ESSENCE OF VALMIKI RAMAYANA

BAALA- AYODHYA-ARAN	YA-KISHKINDHA-SUNI	DARA-YUDDHA-UT	TARA K	CHANDAAS

EDITED-TRANSLATED-INTERPRETED BY V.D.N.RAO, CHENNAI

ESSENCE OF VALMIKI RAMAAYANA

BAALA KHANDA

PREFACE

The Epic of Valmiki Ramayana- *Rama Aayana*- denotes Shri Rama's journey from vice to virtue. This is relevant now as much as in the past -present and for ever as narrated in Six Khandas or sugar cane stems viz. Baala Khanda-Ayodhya Khanda- Aranya Khanda-Kishkinda Khanda- Sundara Khanda-Yuddha Khanda. Baala Khanda comprises seventy seven Sargas- Ayodhya Khanda one hundred nineteen Sargas- Aranya Khanda has seventy five Sargas-Kishkindha Khanda has sixty seven Sargas-Sundara Khanda comprises of sixty eight Sargas- Yuddha Khanda has one twenty eight Sargas. Addtionally Uttara Khanda has one hundred eleven Sargas. The current presentation is relevant to Baala Khanda.

As I had the fortune of approaching HH Vijayendra Sarasvati of Kanchi Kamakoti, who for the last fifteen years or so, blessed me to script the essence of over Ashtaadasha Puranas, Ashtadasha Upanishads, Brahma Sutras, Dharma Sindhu, Manu Smriti, Paraashara Smriti, Soundarya Lahari, and on Pancha Bhutas- Surya- Chandra-Lakshmi-Saraswati - Ganesha-Bhagavad Gita and so on. Then he spontaneously directed me to attempt Vaalmiki Ramayana in parts but with posible 'vishleshanas' or explanatory notes as per the contexts of situations and characters referred to. Indeed this is a massive effort but I have his unimaginable blessings.

The present script is a maiden effort of the endless 'Itihasa'. The Instruction is that the digestive exercise be gradual, since centuries old countless versions of Ramayana are available or unavailable, but each such Scripts from 'taala grandhaas' to the paper world had been absorbed as per the inner grasping vibrations subjectively. Hence the physical intakes of pathana-manana- nidhi dhyaasas are objective realistically.

'Baala Khanda' is the **trend setter** in as the Yuga Purusha Rama blossoms. That was how Maharshi Vaalmiki encourages Rama's second generation of Lava Kusha Kumaras to sing for us the overview of Ramayana vide the fourth sarga itself!

From 'Baalya' to adolescent youthfulness, Brahmarshi Vishmamitra literally pushes to a jolt to King Dasharatha by equipping Shri Rama with 'astra-shastra vidya' to fight viciousness and vindicate Dharma and Nyaya. The saga and the role of Vishvamitra from a King to a Brahmarshi is the base note of the symphony of Baala Kanda. The fleeting picturisation of the Demons and Sages alike in the Baala Ramayana is a process of transformation of the Society then and now. The struggle continues as an integral part of Existence and as like an ever staged drama through years- centuries- yugas -kalpas of the eternal time cycle.

It is my fortune to imagine as to how the Seers of the yore had showerd the flows of 'dhaarmic' nectar on HH Vijayendra Saraswati of Kanchi who in turn alllows drops on countless followers like us and to our families too.

VDN Rao and family

Contents

Preface

Salutations

Introduction

Sarga one: Valmiki enquires of Brahmarshi Narada to identify the Purushottama of Tretayuga - Vishlesh<u>anas - Ikshvaaku Vamsha; Rules of 'Dharma Yuddha'; Chitrakuta mountain; Agastya; Shabari; Anjaneya: origin and illustrative stutis; Rama Rajya; Ideal kingship; Ashvamedha Yagyna</u>

<u>Sarga Two:</u> Maharshi Valmiki while bathing in Tamasa River gets aghast seeing a couple of frolicking Krouncha birds shot down by merciless hunter and his expression was the beginning of Valmiki Ramayana!

Sarga Three: The overview of Ramayana by Maharshi in his trance;

Sarga Four: This Valmiki Ramayana of 24000 stanzas was sung by Lava- Kusha kumars of Shri Rama Devi Sita at a Conference of Muni Mandali before Shri Rama : <u>Vishleshanas: Nava Rasaas; Gandharva Vidya;</u>

Sarga Five: From the ongoing Vaivaswa Manvantara till King Dasharatha to Shri Rama. <u>Vishleshanas on Sagara Chakravarti to Bhagiratha; Ayodhya; Kingship duties;</u>

Sargas Six-Seven; eight to Nine: Dashararatha-Vasishtha- Ministers and Charioteer Sumantra plan to perform Ashvamedha Yagna and despatch request to Maha Rishyashringa; <u>Vishleshana on Rishyashringa</u>

Sargas Ten -Eleven ; Twelve to Thirteen: Historic Arrival of Rishyashringa heralding season to rains/ There after Vasishthashtha gave to the King 'yagjna diksha' - removed evil influences - made arrangements of the yagjna like architecture, construction and maintenance; groups of jyotishadi vedangas; workforce; nata- naatya -nartaka groups,cooking, culinary,construction of colonies, conference Halls etc.

Sarga Fourteen: Ashva medha yagjna performed gloriously <u>Visleshanas on: Homa kunda- bhojanas of bhakshya-bhojya-lehya- choshya- paneeyaas; Ritviks of yagjna;</u>

Sarga Fifteen: Putra Kaamekshi Yagjna- Celestials preparing for arrival of Maha Purusha <u>Vishleshana:</u> Putra Kamekshti from Dharma Sindhu.

Sarga Sixteen: Devas and Indra approached Vishnu to desrtoy Ravasnasura as Vishnu said only in human form Rama, Dasharatha's son could to so. At the Yagjna, a Maha Purusha emerged from the flames and handed over a 'payasa patra' to Dasharatha to distribute to his three queens as instructed.

Sarga Seventeen: As Rama-Lakshmana-Bharata-Shatrugnas were born thus, Indra and Devas manifested 'Vaanaraas' including Hanuman with Ashta Siddhis. <u>Visleshnana on Ashta siddhis</u>.

Sarga Eighteen: Dasharatha distributes 'payasa' to queens Koushalya-Sumitra- Kaikeyi Samskararas to Ramaadi Kumaras; <u>Vishleshana on Star-wise birth results; Naama karana- Janmaadi Samskaras; Dolarohana - dugdha paana- jalapuja- Suryaavalokana- nishkramana- Anna Praashana - 'Dhanurveda' (The Science of Archery and Weaponry) and Rules of Battle; Lakshmana the manifestation of Adi Shesha;</u>

Sargas Nineteen-Twenty-Twenty One: Arrival of Brahmarshi Vishvamitra at Ayodhya to King Dasharatha. <u>Vishleshanas: Brahmarshi Vishvamitra: 1. Gayatri Mantra- Vishvamitra and</u> Harischandra-Vishvamitra and Vasishtha as their rivalry leads to be birds-

Sarga Twenty two: Vasishtha assured Dasharatha about Shri Rama's safety in safeguarding the Vishvamitra Yagina as the satisfied King allowed Rama Lakshmanas and teach Bala-Atibala.

Sarga Twenty three: The trio reached Angamuni Ashram

Sarga Twenty four: Sarayu-Ganga confluence at Malada- Kurusha Villages where Indra hid; the reason was that Indra killed brahmana Vritraasura. <u>Vishleshana: on Vritrasura and Indra's Brahma</u> hatya dosha- They enter 'Tataka Vana'

Sargas Twenty five and twenty six: Rama Lakshmanas encounter Tataka and Vishmamitra prevails on stree hatya

Sargas Twenty seven and twenty eight: Vishvamitra teaches most of archery mantras to Rama Lakshmanas

Sarga Twenty nine: Vishvamitra takes Rama brothers to the 'Vamana Ashrama '<u>Vishleshana on Bali</u> Chakravarti and Vamana avatara

Sarga Thirty: Yagjnasspoilt in other ashramas by Maricha Subahus punished by Rama

Sarga Thirty one: 'Ashramavashis' conveyed about Janaka's Yagina and Shiva Dhanush

Sargas Thirty two-three-four: Vishvamitra seeks take heros to Siddhashrama by difficult terrain and explains about adjacent Kusha Desha, King Kushanabha, Apsara daughters and Vayu Deva

Sarga Thirty Five-Six-Seven: By boat from Shonabhadra to Ganges, Vishvamitra explains about flows of Ganges - birth of Skanda- <u>Vishleshana on Skanda Janma: Padma-Skanda-Matsya Puranas</u>

Sarga Thirty Eight/ Nine: King Sagara's tapasya for sons- queen Sumati begets 60,000 strong sons while Keshini just only Asamanjasa. Sagara planned Ashvamesha yagna, Indra stole the Sacrificial horse- Sumati's strong sons searched bhuloka-and patalas with pomp and noise-Kapila Muni curses the sons in patala to become stones-Vishleshanas: Adho lokas- Kapila Maharshi.

Sargas Forty to Forty Two: Asamanjasa goes in search and conveys the result to Sagara who dies- King Asamanjasa gaveup hopes and so does his son Amshuman and the latter's son Dilip. But Bhagiradha takes up the thread and prays to Ganga from skies at Gokarna Tirtha. <u>Vishleshanas on 1)</u> Gokarna Tirtha and 2) on Bhagiratha from Brahma Vaivarta and Maha Bhagavata Puranas. .

Sargas Forty Three and four: Bhagiratha standing by foot fingers, invoked Maha Deva Vishleshanas: on Gangotri and Haridwara; Devi Ganga: post Bhagiratha

Sarga Forty five: Crossing Ganga, Rama approaching Vaishali asked about Deva Danavas

<u>Vishleshanason Kashyapa and Diti and Aditi; Masya Purana: on Kurmaavatara, 'Amrita Mathana', Kaalakuta and Devi Mohini; Maha Bhagavatga Purana: Mammoth Churning of Ocean for 'Amrit')</u>

Sarga Forty Six: Having failed to secure Amrit, Diti- daitya mother- seeks to destroy Indra Vishleshanas: Brahmanda Purana": Diti revengeful of Indra and 'Pumsavana' Sacrifice; Maha Bhagavata about Marud Ganas: As Diti fell asleep unconcsiously, Indra entered her Garbha with his 'Vajraayudha', saw the fully grown up boy inside, cajoled him saying 'don't cry, don't cry' and sliced the child into seven parts and further to forty nine sub-parts.

Sargas Forty Seven: Vishvamitra stated that they were at that very place where above instances had occured when there was an Ikshvaaku Kings Kakutstha- Sumati and then proceed to Mithila the kingdom of Janaka Raja!

Sarga Forty Eight and Nine :Sumati showed the way to Gautama Ashram en route Mithila. <u>Vishleshana:Indra assuming Gautama's form takesAhalya to bed</u>, the latter's wife - a supreme PativrataGanesha Purana.

Sargas Fifty: Entering King Janaka's Yagnyashaala, Vishvamitra introduces Rama Lalshmanas and their acts of glory so far to King Janaka and his Purohita 'Shataananda'

Sargas Fifty One: Having congratulated Rama Lakshmanas, Shatananda makes a detialed coverage on the lifestory of Vishvamitra who as a Kshatriya King through tapsyas became a Brahmarshi!

Sargas Fifty two to Fifty Six: King Vishvamitra sighted Shabali Kamadhenu and demands it but was refused; in a battle Shabala smashed thee army but the latter took to severe tapasya.

Sarga Fifty Seven: Brahma blesses Vishvavmitra be the status of Maharshi

Sarga Fifty Eight-Nine-Sixty: Trishanku desires to reach swarga being mortal and Vishvamitra creates a mid- sky swarga with his tapo bala; <u>Vishleshana: Vishvamitra creates Trishanku swarga</u>

Sargas Sixty One and two: Ambarisha performs Yagjna at Pushkara but as sacrifice animal was stolen, a 'nara pashu boy' was arranged - Vishvamitra took pity but to no avail; got entangled instead by co-Munis. Vishleshana on Pushkara Tirtha from Kurma- Padma Puranas and Maha Bharata.

Sargas Sixty Three and four: Vishvamitra disturbed by 'Menaka' at Pushkara, then shifted to heights of himalayas when 'Rambha' disturbed too.

Sarga Sixty five: Ultimatelyeven as Indra ever stole his food, Maharshi stopped his breathing but kept on his tapsya on Brahma, and the latter conferred the title of 'Brahmarshi'!

Sarga Sixty six: Vishmamitra conveys Rama's desire to show Shiva Dhanush and Janaka gives the background of the Dhanush; King Nimi was gifted Shiva Dhanush at his son Devarata's wedding; <u>Vishleshana: Nimi and Daksha Yagnya.-</u> Devi Sita as 'Ayonija' as Janaka tills bhuyagjna.

Sarga Sixty seven: Rama lifted up the Shiva Dhanush as if it were a toy, straightened it with great ease, held the middle part, and as though of a child play broke into two pieces. That breaking resulted in earthshaking like reverberations. King Janaka said: Once wedded to Shri Rama, my daughter ought to be proud to his life partner and bring in glory to Janaka vamsha! Brahmarshi said: tathaastu!

Sarga Sixty eight: King Janaka sent a messenger to King Dasharatha to state: Shri Rama in the midst of all of us had managed the control and breaking of the age old Shiva Dhanush and as per my repeated announcements would like to propose my daughter Devi Sita to Shri Rama in a wedding ceremony and therefore request you to attend the same along with your queens and the entire retenue. Besides Rama and Devi Sita, may we also propose the wedding of Lakshmana with my younger daughter Urmila too'., Dasharadha was pleased and addressed Vasishtha and Ministers to leave next morning.

Sarga Sixty nine: Accompanied by Gurus, wives and intimate and other relatives and friends, King Dasharatha was happy and blissful and instructed Sumantra to let the royal treasurer carry surplus funds of cash, jewellery, nine gems ahead and for their safety there ought to be fool proof defence arrange - ments. A four day procession with needed halts on way moved on with plentiful food and drinks. On their arrival at the outskirts of the Kingdom, King Janaka made elaborate reception with music, song, dance and ecstatic welcome showers of flowers.

Sarga Seventy: In an open Janaka Sabha, Vasishtha narrated the glory of Ikshvaku Vamsha: Brahma Deva the Swayambhu manifested Marichi, from the latter was born Kashyapa whose son was Vivisvaan as the latter gave birth to Vaivasvata Manu. Manu was the foremost Prajapati and from Manu was born Ikshvaku the first King of Ayodhya. Then were highlighted: Pruthu-Mandhata-Sagara- Bhagiratha-Ambareesha-Nahusha-Yayati-Naabhaga- Aja-and Dasharatha. Vishleshanas on: Pruthu-Yuvanashra-Mandhata-Purukusta- Muchukunda-Nahusha- and Yayati.

Sarga Seventy one: King Janaka explained about his vamsha from renowned King Nimi ,whose son named <u>Mithi</u>being the ever first Janaka as the 'vamsha' known as of Janakas. Then he introduced Kushadhvaja his younger brother desirous of getting his two daughters to Bharata and Shatrughna and declared Mandaveeka and Shutakeerti as their respective wives. respectively.

Sarga Seventy Two and three: Public Declarations were made in the presence of Kings, Maharshis, and the public and hectic preparations were made; The vivahika vedika was got ready befitting the status and magnificence of two great Kings. Then Janaka welcomed the brides and bridegrooms.

Sargas Seventy Four- Five-Six: After the festivities concluded, guests were shovered with precious gifts, the groom's party moved back on the return journey but a terrible sand storm was faced. Parashu Rama arrived shouting 'Rama Rama' with terrible anger as the Shiva Dhanush was broken. Dasharatha tried to pacify but with anger, handed over Vishnu Dhanush and challenging Rama to break it if at all possible. An angry Rama not only lifted the dhanush as though Vishnu did against Madhukaitabha daityas but stated that with that very dhanush he could as well demolish Parashu Rama too! An utterly humiliated Parashu Rama was then instructed to return to Mahendra Mountain for ever! Vishleshanas on Madhu Kaitabha daityas; Parashu Rama- Kartaveryarjuna from Ganesha-Brahmanda Puranas.

Sarga Seventy Seven: As the rerurn procession finally reached the city of Ayodhya, it was ready with dhwaja-patakas, welcome sounds of drums and music, dances and decoratons. Dasharatha along with his sons and new daughters-in-law along with the Queens made an auspicious entry. Later, Raja Kumaras shared royal responsibilities. Rama and Sita became famed as Vishnu and Lakshmi.

Annextures: a) Rama's Uttara Bharata Parikrama before wedding b) Vanavasa parikrama

Salutations:

Aadho Rama tapo vananu gamanam, hathvaa mrugam kanchanam, Vaidehi haranam, jatayu maranam, Sugreeva sambhashanam, Bali nigrahanam, samudhra taranam, Lanka pureem dahanam, paschad Ravana Kumbhakarna madanam, ethat iti Ramayanam/The Epic Ramayana is summarised as Shri Rama went to forest of Dandakaranya, chased the false deer of Maricha, Maha Jatayu was killed by Ravanasura, negotiated with Sugreeva to kill Baali, Maha Samudra was crossed with the help of the Monkey Brigade, Lord Hanuman burnt off Lanka, and the Lord killed Kumbhakarna and Ravana. This is Ramayana was all about!

Raamaaya Ramabhadraaya Ramachandraya Vedhase, Raghunaadhaaya naadhaaya Seetaayaah patanenamah/Rama! The ever auspicious, ever helpful and tranquil like Moon, my salutations. Shri Ramachandracharanou manasaa smaraami, Shri Rama chandra charanou vachasagrunaami, Shri Ramachandracharanou shirasaa namaami, Shri Ramachandra sharanam prapadye/ My reverences to Shri Rama with a bowed head, memory in mind, stuti in speech, and my body in total surrender! Dakshine Lakshmano yasya veeme tu Janakaatmaja, Purato Maarutiryasya tam vande Raghunandanam/ My salutations to Shri Rama whose right side is Lakshmana, Devi Sita on left and Hanuman seated ahead. Lokaabhiraamam ranaranga dheeram Raajeeva netram Raghuvamsha naadham, Kaarunya rupam karunaakaram tam, Shri Ramachandram sharanam prapadye/ May we seek refuge from Shri Rama who looks tranquil and pleasing but on the battle front looks with valor and victorious; he is lotus eyed and placid typical of his race of renowned Kingship! Raamam shashvatamaprameyamanamam nirvaana shaanti pradam, Brahma Shambhu Phaneendra sevyamanisham Vedaanta Vedyam yibhum/ Raamaakhyam Jagadeeshvaram Suru Gurum Mayaamanushyam Harim, vandeham karunaakaram Raghuvaram Bhupaala Choodaamanim/ Lord Rama! My total dedication to you as the glorious of Raghu vamsha and the Jewel of the linage of Kings before and there after. You are the hall mark of kindness, destroyer of sins, the Human form due to illusion, worshipped by Brahma- Shambhu and Sesha, the Master of Devas and Indra, the cynosure of Kings, the personification of kindness and seemingly mortal but eternal ever! Shri Rama Raameti rameti Raame ram manorame, sahasra naam tat tulyam Rama nama varaanane/ One utterance of the name of Rama equals recitation of Vishnu Sahasra naama thousand times! That is the reason why the name of Rama of dearness and of ever auspiciousness needs to be recited ever says Bhagavan Shiva to Devi Parvati. Raamaaya Ramabhadraaya Ramachandraya Vedhase, Raghunaadhaaya naadhaaya Seetaayaah patanenamah/ Rama! The ever auspicious, ever helpful and tranquil like Moon, my salutations. Shri Ramachandracharanou manasaa smaraami, Shri Rama chandra charanou vachasagrunaami, Shri Ramachandracharanou shirasaa namaami, Shri Ramachandra sharanam prapadye/ My reverences to Shri Rama with a bowed head, memory in mind, stuti in speech, and my body in total surrender! Dakshine Lakshmano yasya veeme tu Janakaatmaja, Purato Maarutir yasya tam vande Raghunandanam/ My salutations to Shri Rama whose right side is Lakshmana, Devi Sita on left and Hanuman seated ahead. Lokaabhiraamam ranaranga dheeram Raajeeva netram Raghu vamsha naadham, Kaarunya rupam karunaakaram tam, Shri Ramachandram sharanam prapadye/ May we seek refuge from Shri Rama who looks tranquil and pleasing but on the battle front looks with valor and victorious; he is lotus eyed and placid typical of his race of renowned Kingship! Raamam shaashvatamaprameya mananam nirvaana shaanti pradam, Brahma Shambhu Phaneendra sevyamanisham Vedaanta Vedyam vibhum/ Raamaakhyam Jagadeeshvaram Suru Gurum Mayaamanushyam Harim, vandeham karunaa karam Raghuvaram Bhupaala Choodaamanim/ Lord Rama! My total dedication to you as the glorious of Raghu vamsha and the Jewel of the linage of Kings before and there after. You are the hall mark of kindness, destroyer of sins, the Human form due to illusion, worshipped by Brahma- Shambhu and Sesha, Devas and Indra, the cynosure of Kings, the personification of kindness and seemingly mortal but eternal!

Introduction:

Before turning over as the famed Valmiki Maharshi, his earlier birth was of a hunter who recieved his counsel from a vidwan that one ought be cautious in causing suffering to any Living Being, be it a human, animal or bird and there would be a retaliatory rebound in the same or the following birth. He further suggested that the burden of past sinfulness be lightened by reciting the name of Shri Rama with devotion and faith. The Vidvan's blessings came true and in the subsequent birth the hunter after reforming himself and practised SHRI RAMA NAMA till his last breath.

Brahmana Vidyaarthi Pracheta, the son of Agni Sharma of Bhrigu Vamsha of the yore, was counselled by Brahmarshi Narada with 'two golden principles of not preaching what he himself would not practise and take to the name and thought of Rama till his death'. The boy learnt the **Mantra 'Mara'** or to Kill-kill 'ahamkara', 'shadvarga shatrus' of excessive desires, anger, selfishness and avarice, infatuation, ego and jealousy. Constant repetition of 'Mara' turned as 'Rama' gradually developed 'valmikaas' or anthills till his 'atma saakshaatkaara' or Self Realisation and eventually came to be reputed as **Valmiki Maharshi.** Once when he was bathing in the clear waters of Ganges he sighted two doves while mating but were shot to death by a hunter and the Maharshi cried: *maa nishaada pratishthaa tvamagamah* shasshvatih samaah, yat krouncha mithunaa -dekam avadheeh kaama mohitam/* Nishaada! There could never be rest for long years till eternity, for you killed the mating birds unsuspectingly! This is the 'prerepana' or the inspiration of the illustrious scripting of Valmiki Ramayana!

During the course of Kali Yuga, the Path of Veda Vedangas gets dimmed and 'Nastikata' is highlighted. Kama Devata's impact gets enhanced and 'arishad vargas' of lust-anger-narrow mentality-avarice-jealousy have an ever increasing volume. While life span gets shortened, sex urges and excessive progeny of ill health would prevail. Women tend to loose character even as males lose restraint. Unemployment looms large, profiteering, hoarding, deceipt, quick money making, momentary pleasures, snapping of family ties, opportunism and scandalising lead to moral turpitude. Who else excepting Shri Rama in the Kali Yuga when 'Adharma' is rampant and sinking down further is the saviour. This is only the 'Prathama Paada' of Kali Yuga! In reference to the contemporary times, human beings are subject to the following features a) *Tapatrayas* viz. 'Adhi Bhoutika' or Ailments of Physical Nature; 'Adhyatmika' or of Mental-Psychological Nature; and 'Adhi Daivika' or of Natural Calamities like Earth quakes, floods, lightnings etc. beyond human control. 2) *Ishana trayas*: 'Praneshana'-the bond of Life, 'Dareshana' or the bond of wife, Putreshana or the bond of progeny, 'Dhaneshana' or the bond of wealth, 'Sukheshana' or the love of happiness and contentment and 'Dharmeshana' or the quest of Virtue; but the first three bonds of life above are the strongest ie the Ishanatrayas. 3) '*Tri Kaankshas*' or three Natural Aspirations: Kanta, Kanaka and Keerti or Physical -Material-Fame.

But Bhavishya Purana refers as to how Dharma deteriorates in the three quarters hence. Over two thousand years from now, the established Regulations made by Lord Brahma and the successive Manus would get thinner and thinner and by the Second Paada of Kali Yuga, Kali Devata would be happy to witness that the old Vedic values would be obliterated, that the Daityamaya human beings (fully soaked in Daitya activities) would be of two-and-half feet height, that their life span would be forty years maximum (as against hundred years now) and that they would be free like birds without any 'Karmic regulations! At the end of the Kali's second half there would neither by the institutions of marriages, nor Kingships, nor any social reformer and not even a Karma Karta! The World would be full of the progeny of Bhogi Simha and Keli Simha and this kind of a situation devoid of customs and social norms would prevail for one and quarter lakh years!! In the Third Quarter of Kali Yuga, the average age of human beings would be twenty six years maximum; Bhringha Muni along with his wife Saurabhi would create Kaulakalpa-named beings who would not hesitate to eat human beings/kinnaras. These new species of Kaulakalpas would resort to beastly affairs with all females. They would be too sex-blinded and produce too many children. In the fourth phase of Kali Yuga the maximum age of humans would not exceed tewnty years and live like water-beasts and animals; hells like Tamishra and worse kinds of frightening Places of Retribution would be over-populated. As Yama Dharma Raja would find that the influx of dead Beings would assuming alarming proportions, he and Chitra Gupta would approach Indra Deva and later

on to Brahma Deva as the latter would declare that soon enough there would be an 'Avatar' (Incarnation) of Vishnu Deva as **Kalki Deva**; At that time, there would be a cloud burst producing the Great Annihilation of the Universe under alarming and incessant rain called 'Pralaya'! That would be the fresh 'Srishti'heralding the new cycle of Yugas afresh!

BALA KHANDA

(Seventy Seven Sargas)

Shri Raamah sharanam samasta jagataam Raamam vinaa kaa jagatee Raamena Pratihanyate kalimalam Raamaaya kaaryam namah/ Raamaat trasyati Kaala bheema bhujago Raamasya sarvam vashe, Raame bhaktirakhanditaa bhavatume raama tvameraashrayah/Shri Ramachandra provides safety and succor to the entire universe and if not otherwise what could be its fate and who else is the refuge; hence our devoted prostrations to Him, especially the Giant Serpent named 'Kaalamaana' is controllable only and only by Him alone!

Sarga one

<u>Maharshi Valmiki enquires of Brahmarshi Narada to identify the Purushottama (Superior Most of a Man) of the Tretayuga</u>

Stanzas 1-19: Om tapah swaadhyaaya niratam tapasvee vaagvidaam varam, Naradam paripapracchha Vaalmeeki munipungavam/ Konyasminn saampratam loke gunavaan kascha veeryavaan, dharmagj nascha kritaginascha veeryavaan,dharmaginascha kritaginascha Satyavaakyo dhridhavtatah/ Chaari trena cha ko yuktah sarva bhuteshu ko hitah vidvaan kah kah samarthascha kaschaika priyadarshanah/ Atmavaan ko jitakrodho dhrutimaan konasuyakah, kasya bibhyati devaascha jaataroshasya samyuge! Etacchhidaamyayamshrotu m param koutuuhalam hi me, Maharshe tvam samathhorsi jnaatumevam vidham naram/ Shrutvaa chaitantrilolkagjno Vaalmeekeer Naarado vachah, shruyataamiti chaamantraya prahashthovaakyamabraveet/Bahavo durlabhaaschaiva ye tvayaa keertitaagunah, mune vakshyaamya ham bududdhvaa tayryuktah shruuyataam narah/ <u>Ikshvaaku vamsha prabhavo **Ramo naama** janaih</u> shrutah, niyatatmaa mahaa veeryon dhyutimaan dhrutimaan vashee/ Buddhimaan neetimaan vaagmee shreemaancchatru nibarhanah, vipulaamso mahaa baahuh kambugreevo mahaa hanuh/ Mahorasko maheshvaaso guudha jahnurarindimah, aajaana baahuh sushareweraah sulalaatah suvikramah/ Samah samavibhatyaangah snigddha varnah prataapavaan, peenavakshaa vishaalaaksho Lakshmeevaan chyubha lakshanah/Dhrarmagjnah satyasandhascha prajaanaam cha hito ratah, yashasvee jnaana sampannah shuchirvashyah samaadhimaan/Prajaapati samah Shrimaan Dhaataa ripunishuudanah, rakshitaa jeeva lokasya dharmasya pari rakshitaa/ Rakshitaa svasya dharmasya svajanaasya rakshitaa, veda vedango tatvagino dhanurvedicha nishthitah/ Sarva shaastraagina tatvaginah smritimaan pratibhaanvaan, sarvaloka priyah saadhurdeenaatmaa vichakshanah/ Sarvadaabhigatah sadbhidah samudra iva sindhubhih, aaryah sarva samaschaiva sadaiva priyadarshanah/ Sa cha sarva gunopetah Kouslyaananda vardhanah, samudra eve gambheerye dharyena himavaaniva/ Vishnunaa sadrusho veerye Somvadpriya darshanah, kaalaagni sadrushah krodhe kshamayaa prithivee samah, dhanadena samastyaage satya dharma ivaa parah/

Maharshi Valmiki asked Brahmarshi Narada: Konyasmin saampratam loke gunavaan kascha veeryavaan, dharmagjnascha kritagjnascha kritagjnascha Satyavaakyo dhridhavtatah' as to who indeed was the Guna- Veerya-Dharmagjna- Kritagjna- Satya Vaadi- Dhridha Sankalpa or of the

superior traited- brave- virtuous-ever grateful - truthful and decisive on Earth during the Treta Yuga! Chaaritrena cha ko yuktah sarva bhuteshu ko hitah vidvaan kah kah samarthascha kaschaika priyadarshanah/ or He of excellent tradition, helpful most to fellow beings, highly learned, capable most and of readily arresting personality of bodily handsome and gracefulness! Atmavaan ko jitakrodho dhrutimaan konasuyakah, kasya bibhyati devaascha jaataroshasya samyuge! Who is that outstading personality on Earth who readily commands awe and authority, of tranquil nature, ever radiant, and who is of affectionate amiability and at the same time is most feared by the worst ferocious evil energies to be faced with! Who is that Idyllic and ultimate perfect Model Personality of the Yuga! Brahmarshi Narada replied to Valmiki Maharshi: ahatma! You have described the traits of a terrestrial Human Being with the extra celestial qualifications of a Human on the terrestrial Earth! Any way, the ready reply is as follows: Ikshvaaku vamsha prabhavo **Ramo naama** janaih shrutah, niyatatmaa mahaa veeryon dhyutimaan dhrutimaan vashee/ In the Ikshvaaku Vamsha, an outstanding personality named **Shri Rama** the famed most in Trilokas with unbelievable equanimity, a symbol of courage and bravery, as a Roll Model of a Man in perfection. He was a highly learned, moralistic, expressionalistic, and enemy destroyer of excellence with steel like hands and elevated shoulders, robust legs, broad shoulders and conchshell like neck of enormous strength. His chest and arrow chest were huge too with unprotrusive bone at the neck. He was a typilcal 'aajaana baahu' or his strong hands stretch down to knees with a readily arresting and handsome face of extreme fairness. His forehead was broad and sparkling with big eyes and in sum his personality was spectacular and unique. Shri Rama is named as Dharmajnaata, Satyapratigina, Hita Saadhana or fully conversant with the Principles of Virtue, avowed to be Truthful and Accomplish by Medium of Negotiation. He is yashasvi- jnaani- Pavitra- jitendriya or well renowned, knoledgeable, sypbol of purity and self controlled. He is an administrator like Prajapati Virat Swarupa Himself- Symbol of Prosperity, Dhanurveda Pravena or the Symbol of Archery, Veda Vedanga Tatvavetta- Kshatriya Dharma Prayeena- Master of Memory Power; extremely kind hearted, and an expert of conversation with power of convincing objectively. All the Saadhus and Sadhakas make a queue line to him like all the running waters tend to merge into the Oceans as they feel contented with his 'darshan' and if fortunate extremely with his 'sparshan'! Being bestowed with all the positive traits, his mother Devi Koushalya gets immersed in his exemplary traits endearing him always even as he assumes the oceanlike abundance and Himalayas like composure! Vishnunaa sadrusho veerye Somvadpriya darshanah, kaalaagni sadrushah krodhe kshamayaa prithivee samah, dhanadena samastyaage satya dharma ivaa parah/Shri Rama is stated as Vishnu's prototype in radiance, Chandra like tranquility and coolness, yet of anger of 'Kaalaagni', endurance like of Bhudevi, 'tyaaga and daana' or give aways like Kubera himself and in Truthfulness like Yama Dharma Raja himself!

Vishsleshana - Explanatory Note: Ikshvaaku Vamsha:_: Bhavishya Purana explains "After the Pralay in Treta Yuga, King Sudarshan returned from Himalaya and revived Ayodhya Puri and thanks to the and the Holy Sages. King Sudarshan ruled for thousands of years and in course of Time, his son King Dilip initiated a new generation and King Raghu heralded the Surya Vamsha or the Raghu Vamsha. King Raghu's grandson Dasharatha had the unique privilege of securing Lord Shri Rama, the 'Avatar' of Bhagavan Vishnu. Surya Vamsa dominated from Shri Ram's son Kusha downward for hundreds of generations thereafter and the Kings were by and large virtuous, engaged in Yagnas and Agni Karyas, charities and the preservation of Dharma. Padma Purana is quoted: Vaiwasvata Manu had ten sons, viz. Ila, Ikshvaaku, Kushanaabha, Arishta, Dhrushta, arishyant, Karusha, Mahabali Sharyati, Prushaghna, Naabhaga and Ambarisha. By dint of relentless Tapasya, Vaivaswata secured the boon from Brahma of becoming the Supreme Administrator of Prithvi of high virtue and Fortune and thus he became the First Manu Ever! Ila also became ambitious and wandered several places and by mistake entered the 'Sharavana' Garden, little knowing that who ever entered the Sharavana would instantly turn into a woman as per the instructions of Parameswara where Shiva Deva was alone with Devi Parvati. Even outside the Sharavana, Ila as a woman was attracted to Budha, the son of Chandra (Moon). Ila's brother Ikshvaku was worried about the disappearance of Ila and having realised the fact that any male entering the Sharayana would be converted as a female and that Ila also would have been converted like wise.

Ihshvaku prayed to Shiva and as directed Ihshvaku announced Ashvamedha Yagna so that Ila as a female could be identified since the brave Ila would be definitely attracted to the Ashvamedha Yagna and the challenge of holding the horse. Indeed the Plan of Ikshvaku worked well and Ila was identified as the 'wife' of Budha, the son of Chandra. The female Ila became a Kimpurush for six months and as a woman for six months as per the boon of Shiva. As a Kimpurush, Ila also known as Sudyumna gave birth to three sons Utkal, Gaya and Haritashwa and they became the Kings of Utkal (Orissa), Gaya, and Haritashwa or Kuru. Ikshvaku became the King of Madhyadesha who begot hundred sons half of whom ruled the northern side of Meru and the others the Southern side. Kakustha was the eldest son of Ikshvaku and in that lineage was born Yuvanashwa and his great grandson was the famed Kuvalashva who killed the notorious demon Dundhumara. It was in this lineage that the illustrious Mandhata who was the Chakravarti of the Universe. In his lineage were the famous Purukutsa, Muchukunda, Harischandra, Dilip, Bhagiratha who brought the Sacred Ganga to Earth, Nabhaga, Ambarisha, Raghu, Dasaratha and the Incarnation of Lord Vishnu, the Epic Hero Shri Rama who killed Ravanasura and his able brothers Bharata, Lakshmana and Shatrughna; the Surya Vamsha of the clan of Ikshvaku was further extended by Kusha and Lava. Brahma Purana states: Vaivaswa had nine sons viz. Ikshvaaku, Naabhaga, Dhrushta, Sharyaati, Narishyanta, Praamshu, Arishta, Karusha and Prushaghna. Once Vaivaswa performed one Yagna with the objective of begetting a daughter and Maharshi Mirtaavaruna was the Chief Priest; as the Maharshi offered a powerful oblation in the Agni Kunda, there emerged a maiden whom the Manu addressed as **Ila** and she took the permission of Matraavaruna and went near the Manu; the Manu blessed her, named her as Sudyumna and instructed her to expand Manu vamsha. She met Budha Deva in marriage and gave birth to **Puru**; she gave birth further to three sons viz. Utkal (whose Kingdom was the present Orissa), Gaya (the Capital of Gaya desha) and Vinataashva. Puru's Kingdom was distributed into parts to accommodate the nine sons too. Ikshvaaku became the Ruler of Madhyadesaha. Ila and Sudyumna was one and the same but alternatively as a woman and as a man for each six months. Naashyanta's son was Shaka; Nabhaaga begot Ambarisha; Dhrishta and Karusha begot sons of the same name; Pramshu was issueless; Sharyati got twin children-a boy named Anarta and a girl Sukanya who was wedded to Chyavana Maharshi. Anarta begot Raiva, and the latter's son was Raivata, also known as Kakudmi who became the King of Kushasthala. Once Raivata accompanied by his daughter Revati visited Brahma loka and the latter was at that time engrossed in 'Gandharva Gaana' / the songs of Gandharva; after the singing session, Brahma when told of the purpose of their visit viz. to bless his daughter of a suitable match for her, Brahma smiled and stated that during his visit to Brahma loka, Yugas rolled by but blessed Revati to return to their place and that she would definitely wed a Mahatma. On return, the father and daughter discovered a complete change of their Place in Dwapara Yuga and on making local enquiries found **Balarama**, the elder brother of Krishnaas a suitable life-partner for Devi Revati; thus the age-difference of Balarama and Devi Revati was a full Yuga!

Rules of 'Dharma Yuddha' or a Battle for Justice. Once a battle is decided mutually, there should be a lead time for the preliminaries,- a week's time- to offer prayers to 'Ganesha' viz. the very First God to worship and the 'Trimurthies' (Triumverate) viz. Brahma, the Creator, Vishnu the Preserver and Eswar, the Destroyer; to 'Dikpalas' (the Gods of Four Directions); 'Rudras' the Gods of Killings; the 'Nava Grahas' (Gods of Planets) as also of Stars; and Aswini Devatas and Rivers. The Army assembles at the eastern point of the CapitalCity before the departure and at the start off of the March should be rejoiced by Victory Slogans and reverberation of musical instruments. There would not be a recall or a faltering step once the march is flagged off. After covering a good distance of a couple of miles, there might be a brief stop over for rest/ regrouping/ prayers. The King (Chief) should not intervene in the battle directly till the very end. But, he should be behind at a distance to keep up the morale of the Army. There should be formations of an elephant each in the center, defended by four chariots of four horses each, each horse defended by four infantrymen, who should be in the forefront, defended behind by archers and horses and behind them be 'Yantramuktas' or mehanically propelled explosives. The attacking men should have the pride of place- be it in the infantry, or on horses or chariots or 'Yantramuktas' and comparatively less courageous and defensive forces should be in the rear. A person killed in a war deserves 'Veera Swarga',

equivalent to performing 'Yagnas' and a soldier who runs away or shows his back or wantonly avoids confrontation would be considered not only as a criminal in the eyes of Law but as a sinner or murderer of a Brahmin in the eyes of God. At the same time, the defeated soldiers are to be let back honourably by the victorious side with grace. It would be a sin to maltreat the defeated soldiers, slay the persons unarmed, perpetrate revenge of any kind to the citizens of the defeated kingdom, especially the spectators, scribes, women and children and take advantage of any kind to the defenceless. (*Agni Purana*)

Now about the Yuddha Dharmas of a Kshatriya King. In the course of 'Dharma Paalana' or of the observance of virtuous authority, then in the context of a battle with a foreign invader against his own Kingdom, then irrespective of the ability or otherwise, the King has to spare no effort in the battle and fight tooth and nail till the last drop of his blood. Sangraameshvanivartitvam prajaa -naam chaiva paalanam, shushrushaa braahmananaam cha raajnaam shreyaskaram param/Aahayeshu mithonyonyam jighaansanto maheek -shitah, yudhyamaanaah param shaktyaa svargam yaantyaparaan mukhaah/ To retreat and show his back running away from the battle field has no room for 'kshaatrava dharma' and so also his service to braahmana is so imperative and binding. In an open battle, a true kshatriya desirous of securing 'veera swarga' should never resort to devious ways of killing an enemy like using secret weaponry or by using blazing or poisonous arrows to secure the kill. Also striking a eunuch, an opponent seeking mercy, a person who flees from the fight, or simply withdraws from the fight is not commendable. Equally so would be a fight against a half asleep, unguarded, disarmed, or already engaged in a different enemy, or an onlooker enemy is not worthy of commendation. Killing an enemy with wounds on his body, or with broken weaponry, one in his retreat with disgrace is also not the quality of a purposeful fight. When a kshatriya warrior is killed even as he runs away from the battle, then a part of the sin is ascribed to the King as the Commander-in-Chief. Equally so as the valiant fights but gets killed in the battle, a part of the Veera Swarga's benefit is due to the King. The chariots, horses, elephants, military equipment, grain, women, gold and properties of the defeated King automatically gets gained to the winning King, but such possesions of the win over has necessarily to be shared by the soldiers too, lest the King's name and title as the 'Chhatrapati' or the Overall Master becomes a misnomer! Further the duty of the King would be to revive the memory of the illustrious fallen heros and and provide adequate wherewithal to his families. Alabdham chaiva lipseta labdham rakshet prayatnatah, rakshitam vardhaye chchaiva vriddham paatreshu nikshipet/Etachchaturvidham vidyaat purushaartha prayojanam, asya nityamanushthaanam samyak kuryaadatandritah/ or Whatever is not available in one's life, efforts be made to secure it, whatever is so secured be properly retained safe, besides what ever is retained in tact, try to improve the same; these are the four kinds of Purushardhas of Dharma- Artha- Kaama- Mokshas, and these principles of human aspirations be pursued without fail. Once a particular desire is not fulfilled then that be accomplished even by 'danda' or force, once so gained do seek to maintain it, and do try to improve and so on. A King is well equipped with 'danda' and that alone which the commonality of the public could enforce an objective with. But never try the means of deceit or roundabout guile as that path would certainly dig up flaws and deviations from what is aimed at . An enemy within or from outside could sooner or later discover ways and means of the policy objective by picking holes like when a tortoise could hide its limbs and would as such fail. Hence the direct approach to strike by force as the public has no alternative but to follow and the world around is left in wonder and admiration. The enemy too can be awed by the direct approach and would have no option. A lion uses its strength while a crane pretends meitation in patience, like a wolf snaches by trickery, but like a hare makes a double retreat. Even the external enemies would not prolong the victory by the Saama-Daana- Bhedopaayas for the fear of danda! A farmer knows as to how to cut off and sweep the weeds to preserve the crop and so does a King in protecting his Kingdom by destroying the enemies. Nevertheless, there is a word of caution by the Learned; in the event of an external enemy being either more powerful or of similar strength, then the stop in steps of Saama-Daana- Bhedas need to be employed and commended. This policy is worthy of following in the external context certainly. Referring to the domestic scene, the extent of utilising 'danda' or force might boomerang only if honesty is truly proven and only to the extent of what unreasonabe and evil minded critics beyond the conviction level of the honest and duty bound masses of public as a King

of dharmic values could certainly gauge. Indeed the King ought to realise the cut off limits of utilising the danda as that ought to be proven as 'pro bono publico' or as of the larger interests of the general public. Even protecting the farm produce, the weeds of opposing forces be nipped as the King's prime priority is to preserve Kingship itself. Saamaadinaamupaayaanaam chaturnaamapi panditaah, saamadandau prashansanti nityam raashtraabhivriddhaye/ Yathoddharati nirdaataa kaksham dhaanyam cha rakshati, tathaa rakshennripo raashtram hanyaachha paripanthinah/ or either of rashness or ignorance, no King could possibly pull down his own kingdom, along with himself, his family and his subjects by resorting to self-defeating measures which might ruin the self, as after all his own life-force is that of his entire kingdom. Just as torturing the bodies of his limbs and senses is as severe as torturing the King himself! Hence thoughtful governance of his kingdom in turn aims at prosperity of himself and vice versa.]

Stanzas 20-40:

Tamevam guna sampannah Raamam satya paraakramam, jyeshtham jyeshtha gunairyuktam priyam Dasharadha sutam/ Prakriteenaam hitairyuktam prakriti priya kaamyayaa, youva raajjeyna samyuktamaicchhit preetyaa Maheepati/ Tasyaabhisambharaan drushtvaa bhaayaartha Kaikayee, purvam dattavaraa devee varamenamayaachat, vivaasanam cha Raamasya Bharatabhi -shechanam/ Sa satyavachanaad raajaa dharmapaashena samyatah, vivaasamaayaamaasa sutam Ramam Dasharathapriyaam/ Sa jagaama vanam veerah pratigjnaamanupaalayan, pitruvachana nirdeshaat Kaikeyyaah priyakaaranaat/ Tam vrajantim prito bhraataa Lakshmanonujagaam ha, snehaad vinaya sampannah Sumitraananda vardhanah, bhraataram dayito bhraatuh soubhraatgramanudarshayan/ Raamasya dayitaa bharyaa nityam praana samaahitaa, janakasya kule jaataa Deva maayeva nirmitaa/ Sarva lakshana sampannaa naareenaamutthamaa vadhuuh, Sitaapyanugamataa vadhuuh/ Sitaapyanu gataa Raamam shashinam Rohineeyathaa, pourenugato duuram putraa Dasharathenacha/ Shringayera pure suutam vyasarjayat, Guhamaasaadya dharmatmaa nishaadhaadhipatim priyam/ Guhena sahito Ramo Lakshmanena cha Sitayaa, te vanena vanam gatvaa nadeesteertvaa bahuudakaah/ Chitrakutam anupraapya Bharadvaajasya shaasanaat ramyamaavasartham kritvaa rayamaanaa vane vane trayah, Deva gandharva sankarshastatra te nyavasan sukham/ Chitrakutam gate Raame putrashokaaturastadaa, Raja Dasharathah svargam jagaama vilapan sutam/ Gatetu tasmin Bharato Vaashishtha pramukhairdvijaih, nyujyamaano Raajyaaya naicchhad Raajyam Mahabalah, sa jagaama vanam veero Ramapaada prasaadakah/ Gatvaa tu sa Mahaatmaanam Ramam satya paraakramam, ayaachad bhraataram Ramam aarya bhaavapuraskritah, tvameva Rajaa dharmatma iti Ramam vachobraveet/ Ramopiparamodaarah sumukhah su mahaa yashaah, na chaicchhit pituraadeshaad raajyam Ramo mahaa balah, paaduke chaasya Rajyaaya nyaasam datvaa punah punah, nivartayaamaasa tato Bharatam Bharataagrajah/ Sa Kaamana vanaapyaiva Ramapaadaavapushuhprushan, nandigraamekarod Raajaym Rama gamana kaankshayaa/ Gatetu Bharate shrimaan satya sandho jitendriyah, Ramastu punaraalakshya naagarasya ianasyacha, tatraagamamekaagro dandakaan praveshah/

To such glorious personality like Shri Rama the eldest son of King Dasharatha, the latter made it known to his Subjects that he would be made the 'Yuva Raja' the number two of the Kingdom.(Dasharatha had three wives viz. Koushalya-Sumitra-and Kaikeyi; Rama was born to Kousalya- Lakshmana and Shatrughna were born to Sumitra- and Bharata next own to Rama were born to Kaikeyi. King Dasharatha was fond of Rama nodoubt but he was infatuated with the youngest wife Kaikeyi). As the royal announcement that Rama would be sworn as Yuva Raja, Kaikeyi was rattled and annoyed as the King promised to Kaikeyi in a weak moment to make Bharata the yuva Raja and Rama would be despatched to Forest Life. Thus the Royal Announcement was annuled and as per King Dasharatha's earlier announcement. As per the desire of the King and the co-mother Kaikeyi, Rama left for Vanavaasa. Lakshman who adored Rama too decided to follow Rama. Devi Sita the wife of Rama and the daughter of King Janaka too followed Rama; indeed she was not only of celestial beauty and grace as the cynosure of womanhood but the truthful Pativrata of Rama who too was famed as 'Eka Patni Vrata Vidhaayaka' with 'manasaa-vaachaa-karmanaa trikatrana shuddhi'; She too accompanied Rama as Rohini follows Chandra. Even as King Dasharatha was in a state of coma, Rama having prostrated to the fainted King and the three mothers thus

proceeded for the Forest Life. Having bid farewell to the crying public too on the outskirts of Ayodhya the capital, the threesome moved forward while the King's official charioteer reached up to the banks of Saruyu river and the boat man named Guha moved for forward to reach the banks of Ganges at the Shringaverapura. The threesome of Rama-Sita- Lakshmana accompanied by Guha the boatman crossed smaller rivers and the intervening forests after forests reached the Ashram of Bharadwaaja Maharshi while Guha the boatman too left reluctantly. Having rested and as directed by the Maharshi, the threesome ascended the Chitrakuta mountain. Meanwhile, King Dasharatha who relapsed into coma got back his senses but in the absence of the trio especially of Shri Rama got a heart attack and died to reach heaven. Muni Vashishtha the Head Priest and other seniors initiated preparations to declare Bharata as the King. Having assumed the new Kingship rather reluctantly, Bharata proceeded to the forests in search of the Trio. Having reached them, Bharata addressed Shri Rama most respectfully and entreated him stating : tvameva raajaa Dharmagina! But Rama smilingly replied that he was merely fullfilling the 'pitru vakya parapaanana' and affectionately reprimanded and convincinly asked Bharata to return to the kingdom severally. Finally, Bharata had to return but after lifting up Shri Rama Paduka, the wooden foot wear of Rama and keeping the same aloft on his head and returned to Nandigrama instead of Ayodhya to keep up the mere retention of Kingship duties as a stop-gap arrangement awaiting Rama's return as the 'primo geniture' King! There after crowds of public from all over the Kingdom kept on visiting Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas day in and day out, Shri Rama then decided to move into the inaccessible 'Dandakaaranya' being the deep jungle.

Vishleshana on Chitrakuta Mountain:

Chitrakut: Most significant fact is that Lord Shri Ram along with Devi Sita and brother Lakshman spent years together at this 'Tapobhumi' or Meditation Land of Sanctity- where Maharshi Atri and his ilustrious follower Munis stayed too- during his forest life as per his father Dasharatha's wish. Chitrakut is some 15 km from Karvey Station is on Manikpur-Jhansi Line of Indian Railways. At Chitrakut, the parikrama or circumambulation of Kamadagiri /mountain and Shri Rama Darshan are the significant tasks. The parikrama is to take some five days of some 30 km. Starting from Raghava Prayaga 'snana' at Sitapur-Koti Tirtha, Sita Devi's Kichen, Hanuman Dhara-Keshavaghar, Pramodavana, Janaki kund, Sirasa vana, Spkatika shila, Anasuya- Gupta Godavari snana, Kailasa Parvata darshana- and from Chabepura to Bharat kupa and Rama Shayya or Rama's bed. On way in the Parikrama occur Mukharavinda where snana is of importance followed by temples of Hanuma, Saakshi Gopala, Lakshmi Narayana, Shri Ramas sthaana, Tulasidasa nivasa, Kaikeyi and Bharata Mandirs, Charana Paduka Mandir. There are three most hallowed 'Charana Chinha' or foot prints of Lord Shri Rama viz. Charana Paduka or His footwear prints, Janaki kunda and 'Sphatika shaala'. The specific Spot where Bharata met Rama for the first time and the molten stone of Rama's footprint is visible still. Among other hallowed Places nearby Charana Paduka are Lakshman Hill and Lakshman Mandir, Janaki Kund, Anasuya-Atri Ashram, Gupta Godavari and so on. Nearby Chitra kut are Ganesha Kund, Valmiki Ashram, Viradha Kunda, Sharabhanga Ashram, Sutikshan Ashram and Rama Vana.1

Stanzas 41-100:

Anādrtya tu tad vākyam rāvaṇaḥ kālacoditaḥ, jagāma sahamārīcas tasyāśramapadam tadā/ tena māyāvinā dūram apavāhya nṛpātmajau, jahāra bhāryām rāmasya gṛdhram hatvā jaṭāyuṣam/ gṛdhram ca nihatam dṛṣṭvā hṛtām śrutvā ca maithilīm, rāghavaḥ śokasamtapto vilalāpākulendriyaḥ/ tatas tenaiva śokena gṛdhram dagdhvā jaṭāyuṣam, mārgamāṇo vane sītām rākṣasam samdadarśa ha/ kabandham nāma rūpeṇa vikṛtam ghoradarśanam, tam nihatya mahābāhur dadāha svargataś ca saḥ/ sa cāsya kathayām āsa śabarīm dharmacāriṇīm, śramaṇīm dharmanipuṇām abhigaccheti rāghava, so 'bhyagacchan mahātejāḥ śabarīm śatrusūdanaḥ/ śabaryā pūjitaḥ samyag rāmo

daśarathātmajah,pampātīre hanumatā samgato vānarena ha/ hanumadvacanāc caiva sugrīvena samāgatah, sugrīvāya ca tat sarvam śamsad rāmo mahābalah/ tato vānararājena vairānukathanam prati, rāmāyāveditam sarvam pranayād duḥkhitena ca, vālinas ca balam tatra kathayām āsa vānaraḥ/ pratijnātam ca rāmeņa tadā vālivadham prati, sugrīvah sankitas cāsīn nityam vīryeņa rāghave/ rāghavah pratyayārtham tu dundubheh kāyam uttamam, pādāngusthena ciksepa sampūrnam daśayojanam/ bibheda ca punaḥ sālān saptaikena maheṣuṇā, girim rasātalam caiva janayan pratyayam tadā/ tataḥ prītamanās tena viśvastah sa mahākapih, kiṣkindhām rāmasahito jagāma ca guhām tadā/ tato 'garjad dharivarah sugrīvo hemapingalaḥ, tena nādena mahatā nirjagāma harīśvaraḥ/ tataḥ sugrīvavacanād dhatvā vālinam āhave, sugrīvam eva tad rājye rāghavah pratyapādayat/ sa ca sarvān samānīya vānarān vānararsabhah, diśaḥ prasthāpayām āsa didṛkṣur janakātmajām/ tato gṛdhrasya vacanāt sampāter hanumān balī, śatayojanavistīrnam pupluve lavanārnavam/ tatra lankām samāsādya purīm rāvanapālitām, dadarśa sītām dhyāyantīm aśokavanikām gatām/ nivedayitvābhijñānam pravṛttim ca nivedya ca, samāśvāsya ca vaidehīm mardayām āsa toraņam/ pañca senāgragān hatvā sapta mantrisutān api, śūram akṣam ca nispişya grahanam samupāgamat/ astrenonmuham ātmānam jñātvā paitāmahād varāt, marşayan rākṣasān vīro yantriṇas tān yadṛcchayā/ tato dagdhvā purīm lankām ṛte sītām ca maithilīm, rāmāya priyam ākhyātum punar āyān mahākapiḥ/ so 'bhigamya mahātmānam kṛtvā rāmam pradakṣiṇam, nyavedayad ameyātmā dṛṣṭā sīteti tattvataḥ/ tataḥ sugrīvasahito gatvā tīram mahodadheḥ, samudram ksobhayām āsa śarair ādityasamnibhaih/ darśayām āsa cātmānam samudrah saritām patih, samudravacanāc caiva nalam setum akārayat/ tena gatvā purīm lankām hatvā rāvanam āhave, hyasiñcat sa lankāyām rākşasendram vibhīşanam/karmanā tena mahatā trailokyam sacarācaram, sadevarşiganam tustam rāghavasya mahātmanah/ tathā paramasamtustaih pūjitah sarvadaivataih, kṛtakṛtyas tadā rāmo vijvarah pramumoda ha/ devatābhyo varān prāpya samutthāpya ca vānarān, puṣpakam tat samāruhya nandigrāmam yayau tadā/ nandigrāme jatām hitvā bhrātrbhih sahito 'naghah, rāmah sītām anuprāpya rājyam punar avāptavān/ prahṛstamudito lokas tustah pustah sudhārmikah, nirāyamo arogas ca durbhiksabhayavarjitah/ na putramaranam ke cid draksyanti purusāh kva cit/ nāryaś cāvidhavā nityam bhavişyanti pativratāḥ/ na vātajam bhayam kim cin nāpsu majjanti jantavaḥ, na cāgrijam bhayam kim cid vathā krtayuge tathā/ aśvamedhaśatair iṣṭvā tathā bahusuvarṇakaiḥ, gavām koṭyayutam dattvā vidvadbhyo vidhipūrvakam/ rājavamśāñ śataguṇān sthāpayiṣyati rāghavaḥ, cāturvarṇyam ca loke 'smin sve sve dharme niyokşyati/ daśavarşasahasrāṇi daśavarşaśatāni ca, rāmo rājyam upāsitvā brahmalokam gamişyati/idam pavitram pāpaghnam puṇyam vedais ca sammitam, yaḥ paṭhed rāmacaritam sarvapāpaih pramucyate/ etad ākhyānam āyusyam pathan rāmāyanam narah, saputrapautrah saganah pretya svarge mahīyate/ paṭhan dvijo vāgṛṣabhatvam īyāt; syāt kṣatriyo bhūmipatitvam īyāt, vaṇigjanaḥ panyaphalatvam īyāj; janaś ca śūdro 'pi mahattvam īyāt/

As the trio of Vishmamitra, Rama and Laksmanas were entering Dandakaranya, Rama had to destroy a series of Rakshasas especially 'Viratha', and met Maha Munis such as Sharabhanga, Suteekshana, and the famed <u>Agastya</u> who devoured and dried up the oceans. Agastya Muni bestowed to Shri Rama the Aindra Dhanush, a powerful 'khadga' and two 'akshaya tuneeras' or everlasting arrow retainers.

[Vishlesana or delineation about Agastya- from Matsya Purana: Sage Narada enquired of Bhagavan Shankara about the origin of Agastya Muni and Vasishta. Maheswara explained tha once Indra despatched Vayu and Agni to destroy Danavas and having successfully killed thousands of the enemies, ignored some Daityas like Taraka, Kamalaaksha, Paravasu, Kaladamshtra and Virochana as they fled away and concealed in deep Seas. The Danavas who hid themselves kept on tormenting human beings as also Devatas eventually. Indra ordered that Vayu and Agni should dry up the Sea water, especially to kill dangerous Diatyas like Jambhasura, but the both the Devas argued that in the process of drying up the Seas even in a minor manner there would be serious havoc caused to crores of Jeevas. Indra was annoyed at their argument and cursed them to fall down on Earth from Swarga and both the Devas entered into a 'Jala Kumbha' or Water Pitcher as a single body. Meanwhile, Sages Nara and Narayana were in Tapasya on GandhamadanaMountain, and Indra was concerned that they might not be a threat to his chair; he despatched a few Apsaras to the Mountain along with Kamadeva but their attempts to tempt the

Maharshis failed. As the Apsaras continued to be stationed there, Narayana Rishi created a damsel of exquisite attraction from his thighs and named her Urvasi; he desired that Apsaras should realize that their beauty was nothing compared to whom they could materialise as Urvasi and they could not possibly tempt Nara Narayan Maharshis, after all! Mitra (Sun God) and Varuna (Rain God) happened to see the damsel and could not resist the fall of their combined semen of Mitravaruna which was deposited in the same Jala Kumbha (pitcher) that fell down from the Swarga and thus Agastya was born as Kumbha Sambhava. Vasishtha too was reborn from the pitcher earlier since he felt offended when King Nimi did not properly attend to him as he visited the King and hence gave a curse to Nimi to live as 'Videha'or without body, but the King too gave a return curse; both Nimi and Vasishtha approached Lord Brahma who solved the problem by retaining Nimi's life in his Eyes and Vasishtha to be reborn to Mitravaruna since the latter's semen fell in the pitcher on seeing Apsara Urvashi. Subsequently Agastya married Lopamudra, absorbed the entire Ocean in his Kamandulu to isolate the Danavas to enable Indra to kill the notorious Danavas and released it later as his urine and was thus stated to be salty!; he also razed down the ego of Vindhya Mountain by making him bend for ever thus banning the Mountain to stoop for ever till the Sage's return which never happened as he continued to stay down the Vindhyas. There was also the legend attributed to Agastya about the Daitya brothers Ilvala and Vatapi, who knew the Mrita Sanjeevani Mantra; they would assume the forms of Brahmanas and seek the passers by to tempt them to a feast of goat-meat, and after consuming the meal ask Vatapi to come out and Vapati would come out piercing through the tummy of the stranger and the brothers would enjoy his meat. But Agastya Muni was too clever to bless the good food saying 'Vatapi! Jeerno bhava' and Vatapi was fully digested even before Ilvala was able to recite the Mrita Sanjeevani Mantra! [Till date, devotees recite Lalita Sahasranama as inspired by 'Vaagdevatas' as also the 'Aditya Hridaya' scripted by Agastya Muni. Vasishtha, the Brahmarshi was the arch-enemy of Rajarshi Vishvamitra ever since the latter claimed Nandini the Celestial Cow and fought a battle in which Viswamitra was defeated. The enmity continued till once both the Rishis cursed each other to become birds and finally Brahma had to intervene and convert them back as human beings].

As trio proceeded further, one day there was a congregation of Munis which called on Shri Rama about the repetitive attacks and tormentations of the Raakshasaas and the latter proclaimed an assurance by way of a 'pratigina' or declaration of a solemn vow. As an immediate sequel to the pratigina, Rakshasi Shurpanakha the younger sister of the Epic Villian Ravanasura was converted as a 'kurupi' or defaced face by slitting of her nose and ears by Lakshmana since the latter was restrained not to resort to killing a woman even as a raakshasi. This incident provoked the Khara-Dushana-Trishiras and their follower Rakshasaas were destroyed by Rama's arrows. This was followed by the merciless killings of fourteen thousand 'raakshasaas' in the 'dandakaaranya' for the greatest relief of the local human beings and animal-bird species. As the defaced Surpanakha approached Ravanasura in his court for demanding revenge from him being her own brother, several advisors in the court of Rayana asked for restraint but Maricha left for the 'dandakaaranya' and assumed the form of a golden deer. The slippery deer evaded both Rama and Lakshman who ran after the animal while Ravanasura having taken the form of a Muni begged for alms from Devi Sita and persuaded her to cross the 'Lakshman Rekha' and literally snached Devi Sita onto his aero plane and badly hurt the defending 'Jataayu' the Vulture Bird- which tried to attack him with a valiant fight but in vain. As Rama and Lakshmana chanced the huge vulture, they realised that Jatayu tried best to twart Ravana's effort to abduct Devi Sita. [Rama realised that Jatayu and his younger brother Sampaati were involved in a race as to who could fly higher to the skies, Jatayu no doubt flew higher but Sampaati but was hurt by Sun flames; Sampaati saved Jataayu by spreading his own wings but the latter had his wings totally burnt for ever! Such was the spririt of their sacrifice!] Jatayu consoled the distraught Rama and reassured him that no harm could come to Sita and that very soon she would be restored to them from Ravanasura. Rama was as much overwhelmed by grief as by a

surging sense of affection and gratitude and embraced Jatayu and blessed him to reach swarga after the death.

From the dying Jatayu Rama Lakshmanas realised that Ravanasura flew away with Devi Sita; Rama and Lakshmana were stunned at the rapid sequence of the events, even as Rama broke out his heart out and his sturdy physique had literally crumbled down heartbroken. They performed the funeral rights of the Great Bird and proceded further in search of the whereabouts of Devi Sita. On the way ahead, they got surrounded by the long and powerful arms of the headless demon Kabandha and severed the clutches of the hands drawing Rama Lakshmanas towards his stomach and killed the demon but blessed him to reach swarga. While dying the demon resumed his Gandharva form named Vishvaavasu but due to his arrogant attitude Indra currsed him to become a headless animal but would be taught a lesson by Rama Lalshmanas eventually. The Gandharva then and directed Rama Lakshmanas to move towards Rishyamukha Mountain and meet a monkey chief in exile named Sugriva for an alliance and that he would assist Rama to discover Devi Sita. The Gandharva also suggested that on way to the Rishyamukha mountain, Rama Lakshmanas might also visit Shabari Ashram also. As directed, Rama Lakshmanas visited Shabari and having enjoyed the fruits offered blessed her and by her example of bhakti taught her further for Loka Kalyana.

Vishleshana on Shabari;

Shabari was a tribal girl curious to know what 'dharma' was all about and approached Matanga Maharshi at the foothills of Rishyamukha mountain; the Rishi accepted her as his student and eversince lived in his ashram teaching her in his service. As years paassed by she became old walking with a stick and plucking berry fruits from the gardens of the ashram; meanwhile Matanga Muni achieved 'Maha Samaadhi' in 'padmaasana' posture, while assuring her to awat the arrival of Shri Rama Lakshmanas. As the latter finally did arrive, she brought basketful of berry fruits and after biting and tasting the fruits only offered them to Rama and Lakshmana declaring to the world that sincere 'bhakti' would be the 'moksha maarga'; and thus the 'Shabari Ramayana' emphasizing Bhakti for Bliss. Rama gave the discourse to Shabari aboudt the nine folded bhakti viz. 'Satsang' or affinity with followers of Truthful Virtue - 'Shravana' or hearing all about Dharma- 'Guru Seva' or Service and Following of a Guide- 'Japa' or constant repetition of the Sacred Name of Paramatma- 'Bhajana' or chorus singing in praise of the Lord as an expression in the public and selfless service to the societ- and finally 'bhakti' or intense devotion without expectation recalling Bhagavad Gita's : Karmanyevaadhikaaraste maa phaleshu kadaachana, maa karma heturbhuuh maate sangostva karmani/ One has only the liberty to 'do' but never demand the return fruits about which one has no control. Yet never abstain from the performance surely expected of the person.you. 'Karma Phala' is as per the decision of the Almighty. What ever is decided as per destiny shall doubtless be awarded to the person concerntd. Never hesitate to accept by way of self desire or by the misleading advice of the public. The very feeling of disappointment creates suspicion and self repudiation. This tends to lead to frustration which is the anti-thesis of contentment and thus further leads to a string of inabilities for further successes! That situation is tantamount to 'jadatva' or total lack of initiative!]

Pampaa teere Hunumataa sangato Vaanarenah, Hanumadvachanaachaiva Sugreevena samaagatah/ Having proceeded further from Shabari Sahram, Rama Lalshmanas reached Pampaasara river banks and enquired of an illustrious Monkey who introduced himself as Hanuman and showed the way to meet Sugreeva. [Hamaman Anjanaa suunuh Vaayu putro Mahabalah, Rameshthah phalguna sakhah pinjaakshomita vikramah udadhikramanaschaiva Sitaa shoka vinaasahanah, Lakshmanah praana daataacha Dashagreevascha darpahadwaadashaani naamaani Kapeendrasya mahaa balah, svaapa -

Thereafter, Rama having met Sugreeva the Monkey King in exile narrated the story of Rama and Sita as kaale pathennityam yaatraa kaale visheshitah tasya mrityubhayam naasti sarvatra vijayee bhavet!] the latter was provenly abducted by Rayanasura and desired that Sugreeva should please help in recovering his wife Sita. Sugreeva took a vow to do so by swearing as 'agni saakshi'. Then Sugreeva narrated his tale of woe as to how his own elder brother suddeny appeared and dethroned him and forcibly took away his wife too. He narrated that once a Demon challenged the original King Vaali but when subdued by Vaali ran away into a mountain cave and as soon as the latter entered the cave gate was shut; thereafter there were fierce sounds for days together and suddenly there were victory cries and shouts by the demon loudly even as blood was flowing from outside the gate. Thus Sugreeva concluded that Vaali was killed and returned with a heavy heart. But he took the pracation of shutting the door of the cave with a huge boulder with the help of several co-vaanaras so that the demon would never get out. the door of the cave. On return to the kingdom, the co vaanaras forced Sugreeva to take over the kingship. But in course of months and years, Vaali made all out efforts and returned to the kingdom, physically tortured Sugreeva as the latter fled away to Kishkindha as Vaali was cursed in the past even as he was a king, Maataga Muni cursed him that if he put his foot there then Vaali would fall dead. But Vaali as the revised King forcibly took Sugriva's wife Ruma theresince. Having heard the story, Rama promised to retrieve his kingdom and wife too. But Sugreeva had naturally suspected Rama's valour and capability and suggested that a recently dead body skeleton of a mountain like demon named <u>Dundhibhi</u> be thrown far away only to ascertain Shri Ramas's intrepidity. Smilingly, Rama moved his left foot little finger on the huge body and throw the skeleton ten yojanas away! Further he found a line of seven giaint like 'taala vrikshas' or palmiraa palm trees on the mountain top near by were crumbled down by a single arrow which retruned back too. These kinds of proofs as sampled by Rama buttressed confidence in Rama's prowess and proficiency. There after Sugreeva showed the way upto a mountain cave to Rama Lakshmanas and called aloud the King Vaali and his wife Tara to come out and challenged even as Rama killed Vaali by a single arrow shot. Sugreeva then became the King again and commanded his 'Vaanara sena' the monkey brigade and despatched them to different directions to search for Devi Sita. There after a 'Grudhra'-vulture - named 'Sampaati' (younger brother of Jataayu) who was blind but blessed by Surya Deva with far sight, indicated about the whereabouts of Devi Sita. Then Lord Hanuman crossed the ocean by a far far jump with his bodily might and having located Devi Sita in the 'Ashoka Vaatika' as she was crying away incessantly. Then he convinced Devi Sita by presenting Rama's ring as a proof and conveyed Rama's message to her. Thereafter he ran berserk all over in various directions of the Ashoka Vaatika and created destruction and havoc all around. He killed five Senapatis and seven sons of Ministers guarding the vaatika and voluntarily got caught; he recalled Lord Brahma's boon to him and pretended that he was acually caught and smilingly tolerated the acts of mischief by the Rakshasaas. Then having taken care of the spefific place where Devi Sita was seated, he literally performed 'Lanka Dahana' or burning down the entire capital city of Lanka.

Brief Vishleshana on **Anjaneya:** Origin and Illustrative Stutis

<u>Origin</u>)Kesari the son of Gautami Rishi and Kesari's wife Anjana secured a grand son named *Hanuman* with the 'Amsa' (facet) of Parama Shiva and Vayu Deva too was responsible in the birth of the boy. Mistaking Surya Deva for a red-coloured fruit, the boy was tempted to fly skywad tried to hold Surya

Deva, as Indra threw his Vajra on Hanuman's body and Ravana tried to hold Hanuman's tail but Hanuman never left his firm hold of Surya Deva. Ravan kept on fighting for a year in vain and tried to wriggle out of Hanuman's powerful clasp. Meanwhile Rishi Vishrava arrived at the spot and eulogised Hanuman to release Ravana the terror of the Universe. There after Hanuman resided for long time at Pampapura on the banks of PampaRiver as a strong fixture and was thus acclaimed as 'Sthanu'. Also since Ravana who had dictated the World and controlled Devas was humiliated by *Anjaneya*, his name and fame spread as Hanuman: *Nighnanta cha Suraan mukhyan Ravanam Lokaraavanam, Nihanti Mushthirbhayah sa Hanumaaniti vishrutah.* (Ravana who was in the habit of badly hurting Devas and related Demi-Gods and killing Vishnu-Bhaktas without mercy had thus been restrained badly and received a jolt by Hanuman; the 'Mushtighatas' or 'Hanus' (beatings of closed hand grasps) damaged Ravana was the reason why Hanuman was named as such. Lord Brahma informed Hanuman that during the twenty eighth Tretayuga's first Part of Vaivaswa Manvantara, Bhagavan Vishnu would take the Incarnation of Shri Rama and that he would achieve Rama's unreserved devotion to Hanuman and destroy the clan of Ravana, his cruel brothers and sinful sons. (Bhavishya Purana)

<u>Illustrative Stutis: Manojavam Maaruta tulya vegam jitendriyambuddhimataam varishtham, aataatmajam</u> Vaanara yudha mukhyam Sri Rama dutam sharanam prapadye/ I bow in reverenceto Anjaney whose thinking capacity as fast as wind, who is in all respects like his father the Vayu Deva in speed and mental agility, as the master of senses, the Supreme among intellectual strength, the leader of the Monkey brigade and the foremost follower of Shri Rama Chandra! Hanuman anjanaasuunur vaayuputro maha balah, Rameshthah Phalguna sakhah pingaakshomita vikramah udadhityukramanaschaiva Seetaashoka vinaashanah Lakshmana praana daataacha Dasha greevascha darpaha, dvaadashaitaani naamaani Kapeendrasya Mahaatmanah svaapakaale pathennichyam yaatraa kaale viseshitah tasya mrityu bhayamnaasti sarvatra vijayee bhayet/Maha bala Hanuman, the illustrious son of Anjana Devi and Vayu Deva! You are the beloved of Lord Shri Rama and dear friend of Arjuna; famed for brown eyes, the valiant hero of popularity who crossed the ocean with the unique purpose of assuaging Devi Sita's tearful misery, the wreckless destroyer of the fabled Ashoka Garden, the saviour of Lakshmana by fetching mrita sanjeevani overnight from Himalayas and the historic subduer of Ravana! Even a fleeting prayer to you by a sincere devotee frees from death and leads to victory especially during one's travels! Atulita baladhaamam hemashailaabhideham, danujavana krishaanum jnaani naama agraganyam/ Sakala guna nidhaanam vaanaraanaamadheesham Raghupatipriya bhaktam Vaatajaatam namaami/ Om ham Hanumate namah/ Anjaneya! Our sincere salutations to you! Your body strength is like that of a golden mountain; you are like gigantic fire destroying the huge forest full of demonaic enemies; yet you are the symbol of wisdom and knowledge, the outstanding devotee of Shri Rama the singular and illustrious son of Vayu Deva! Buddhi balam yasho dhairyam nirbhayatvam arogataa, ajaadyam vaakpatutvam cha Hanutsmaranaaadbhavet/ We pray to Hanaman Deva to surely secure 'buddhi balam' or mental sharpness and physical strength, reputation and fearlessness, resistance to physical diseases or even ailments and above all finesse in expression and convincing power! Yatra yatra Raghunadha keertanam, tatra tatrakritamastakaanjalim/ Baashpavaari paripurna lochanam Maarutim namata raakshsaantakam/ When and where there are singing and music sessions of Lord Rama's glories, there and then Lord Hanuman is readily seated with folded hands and emotionally charged wet eyes! Such indeed is the scene of Anjneya who provides a safety zone to Rama bhaktas. Daily Hanuman Mantra: The Hanuman Mantra for daily recital on the 11 days of worship is as follows: Om namo Hanumate prakata rupaaya, aakraanta digmandala yashovitaana dhavaleekrita jagatpita vajra deha jyaladagni Suryakoti

samaprabha tanuuruha Rudraavataara Lankaapuri dahana udhadhi langhana Dashgreeva shirah kritaantaka Seetaa sevaasana Vayu suta, Anjanagarbha sambhuta Shri Rama Lakshmana -andakara, Kapi sainya praakaara Sugreeva sakhya kaarana, Bali nibarshana kaarana, drona parvatotpaatana, Ashoka yana yidaarana, Akshakumaarakacchedana, Vanarakshaakara samaanayana, Baalodita Bhaanumandala grasana, Meghanaada hom vidhvamsana, Indrajivadha kaarana, Seetaa rakshaka raakshasee sangha vidaarana, Kumbhakarnaadi vadha paraayana, Shri Raama bhakti tatpara, Samudravyomadruma langhana mahaasaamardhya, Maha tejah punja viraajamaana, swaami vachana sampaadita, Arjuna samyuga sahaaya, Kumara Brahmacharin, gambheera shabdodaya, Dakshinaashaa Martaanda, Meruparyata peethikaarchana, sakala mantraagamamaachaarya, mama sarva graha vishaadasana, Sarvajvarocchaatana, Sarva Visha vinaashana, Sarvaapatti nivaarana, Sarva dushta nibarhana, Sarva vyaaghraadi bhaya nivaarana, Sarva shatrucchedana, Mama parasyacha trihuvana pum streena pumsakaatmaka Sarva jeeva jaatam vashaya naanaa naamadheyaan sarvaan raagjna sapariyaaraan mama seyakaan kuru kuru, Sarya shastraastra vishaani yidhyamsaya yidhyamsaya, mama sarva kaarya jaatam saadhaya saadhaya sarva dushta durjana mukhaani keelaya/Recital of this Paramapavitra Hanuman mantra japa bestows veeratva, keerti, tejas and ojas. Another popular stanza of for daily recital is as follows: Hanunaananjanaa soonur Vaayu putro maha balah,Raameshtah Phalguna sakhah pingaakshomita vikramah/ Udadhi kramanaschiva Seeta shoka

vinaashakah, Lakshmana praana daataacha Dashagreevascha darpaha/ Dvaadashitaani naamaani Kapeendrasya mahabalah,svaapakaale pathennityam yaatraakaale visheshatah, tasya mrityu bhayam naasti sarvatra vijayee bhavet/]

Sarga One continued

There after he returned back to Rama about the havoc and sampled scare of the invincibility of Rama and of the strength of 'vaanara sena'! He conveyed to Shri Rama that he had indeed met Devi Sita. Soon therafter this accomplishment of Anjaneya, Rama Lakshmanas moved forward up to the banks of the Samudra: Rama had initially prayed to the Samudra Deva but in the absence of non reply got prepared by providing a taste of the fierce Rama Bana even as the Deva appeared and made way for a 'Rama Setu' or a bridge across the ocean which was deftly crafted by Nala Deva the celestial engineer. It was by this very bridge that Rama Lakshmanaadi warriors and the vanara sena headed by Sugreeva and the rest reached Lankapuri and decimated Ravana and his followers, while Devi Sita felt shy and even put to shame by what some of the remarks of the audience present were distressing and derogatory even and as a result she performed 'agni pravesha' or entering into the flames. As Agni Deva vindicated her 'eka paativratya' or of single husband's reality, Rama along with Rishis and Devatas extolled and so did the Tri Lokas. Shri Rama was contented and bestowed Kingship of Lanka to Vibheeshana. Meanwhile, Devas from above showered rains of flowers as a gesture of the triumph and vindication of Dharma and Nyaaya, even as the dead vanara sena soldiers came back to life again. The entire retinue reached Bharadwaaja ashram and Shgri Rama sent a message to Bharata by Anjaneya. Then along with Sugreeva the trio of Rama-Sita-Lakshmana reached Nandigrama and had Rama had his hair cutting and moved further along with Bharata too to Ayodhya to resume his Kingship once again.

Hence forth: Prahrushta mudito loka santushthah pushthah sudhaarmikaha, niraamayo hyaarogascha durbhiksha bhaya varjitah/ Na putra maranam kechid drakshyanti purushaah kkachit, naaryaschaa vidhawaa nityam bhavishyanti pativrataah/ Nachaagnijam bhayam kinchinnaapsu majjanti jantavah, na vaatajam bhayam kinchinnaapi jvarakritam tathaa/ Na chaapi kshudrayam tatra na taskarabhayam

tathaa, nagaraanicha raashtraani dhana dhaanyayutaanicha, nityam pramuditaah sarve yathaa kritayuje tathaa/ In Rama Rajya, the entire public is happy and contented, healthy, virtuous, disease less and with no droughts at all. Public has neither fear, nor ever drowned in deep waters, or subject to illness due to pollution of air, or flames. Further the commonality ever suffered due to hunger nor thieving or robberies. Each and every village or township is with surplus of food and prosperity, juast as in the days of Krita Yuga.

Vishleshana or analysis

Rama Rajya: The perception, as to how a King should govern his Kingdom and the Subjects, was illustrated by Lord Rama to Laxmana. Agni Purana has described Rama's Percepts of an Ideal King: A King has to create wealth, increase it, protect it, and donate it. He should be humble-the humility arising out of victory, essentially after defeating the human senses of revenge, anger and retribution. He should be strong, magnanimous and forgiving, kind and protective. His support to the inferior and the needy is as significant as to punish and uproot the wicked and harmful. The human vices of greed, lust, dishonesty are but the reflections of a sick mind, which has no conviction or courage or helpfulness to the needy. Rama also advised considerable patience to deal with the timid, haughty and hurtful as these are indeed the traits of a villian. Once there is no ray of remorse and there is no trace of recovery from the pent-up senses of ego, impoliteness and audacity, then the time to end the culprit has arrived. *Bhavishya Purana*.

Ideal Kingship: Manu Deva then describes the ways of conduct and dharmas of a King about his origin and keys to his success as a popular and famed head of a nation. On attaining kingship to a deserving and select kshatriya origin, the King is coronated by the prescribed Vedic Principles to assume the duties expected as from a Head of the Kindom. This is so when a Leader of the Society has to establish an authoratative Institution based essentially on Dharma and Nyaya and above all to ensure safety and security as an Integrated Identity among the comity of co-kingdoms. Hence the group of Devas like Indra, Surya, Vaayu, Yama, Agni, Varuna, Chandra and Kubera confer Kingship to the most suitable Kshatriya as per Vedic Verses hence as the unique representative of the lusters and magnificenes of the combinations of the repesentative Devas; indeed like a Sun God the King becomes too radiant to gaze and provides the great source of authority and power sourced from the respective Devas of warmth yet heat of Agni, sweep and speed of Vaayu, placidity and coolness of Chandra, sterness and demand of justice/ virtue of Yama, ample food and sustenance of Varuna, and the auspiciousness and prosperity of Kubera! Even a King as an infant is worthy of respect and awe as there is a worthy King in him and ought to be so venerated. Indeed, careless approach and casual treatment paid to an infant king, who is no doubt, backed up the strong foundations of Kingship as from Vedic Principles, as Agni could provide warmth as also burn the whole family and property as of 'lock-stock- and barrel'! A King with his 'kaarya siddhi' or the success of his purpose as per the prevalent circumstances of 'Desha Kaala Tatwa' seeks to attain 'dharma siddhi' as he asumes varied features of kshama, krodha, mitrata, or even pratikaara or revenge! A King indeed is 'sarva tejomaya' or all powerful as he could usher in Devi Lakshmi or alround prosperity, or his anger might invite mrityu or death. If a King is annoyed even by default, the victim's misfortune kicks off and his indignation is certain to mritu! Tasmaad dharmam yamishteshu sa vyavasyennaraadhipah, anishtam chaapyanishteshu tam dharmam na vichaalayet/ Tasyaarthe sarvabhutaanaam goptaaram dharmama -atmajam, brahmatejomayam dandam- asrijat purvameeshvarah/ or that is why the dharmas originally created by the institution of Kingship are such as never to be infringed upon and hence the age old principles are such as shaped by the conscience of any King either of mercy or of punishments. This

why any of the 'sthaavara-jangamaas' or of moving-immoveable nature in Srishti are driven by the impulses of their own consciences too and the interpretations of respective Kingships as per 'desha kaala- paristhitis' or of contemporary situations need necessarily to be upheld and observed. Hence punishments truly represent the King, his Purushtva of assertion and of unquestionable Leadership; punishment only governs, protects, and sustains vigilance even in sleep or casualness as the constant guard and caution. Sameekshya sa dhritah samyak sarvaa ranjayati prajaah, asameekshya praneetastu vinaashayati sarvatah/ Once punishment is made applicable and enforced, it uproots the evil but once gets lax then attracts further evil. In the case of a King's negligence of punishment, the defaulted person once saved perpetuates the evil as a fried fish about to be pitch-forked spared or soft cotton piece turns into an iron rod! In case a King spares a criminal from punishment, a crow would steal a pitru pinda or a dog sniff or lick a sacrificial food just as a person of illfame forcefully occupies another's lawful house in possession since dandasya hi bhayaat sarvam jagad bhogaaya kalpate/ or the entire world loses the grip of fear and becomes all kinds of illegal perversions. Once a rod is spared then even a child is spoilt; Deva, Daanava, Gandharva, Raakshasa, Pakshi, Sarpas too once spared would be victimised with evil; being devoid of 'daanda', the conduct of all the beings in Srishti gets sullied and in respect of human beings varnaashrama dharmas are severely broken irretrievably paving way for vices and engendering evil forces Yatra shyaamo lohitaaksho dandashcharati paapahaa, prajaastatra na muhyanti netaa chet saadhu pashyati/ Tasyaahuh sampranetaaram raajaanam satyavaadinam, sameekshya kaarinam praajnam dharma kaamaartha kovidam/ That exactly why the concept of Kingship or Leadership is stated as the hinge and hold of the sensitive balance of virtue and vice; where punishment is due it ought to stalk around assuming black color and of red eyes demolish blemishes and sins. Moreso it is in the context of fulfilling the four human aspirations of Dharma-Artha-Kaama-Moksha in a measured manner; indeed hence is the presence of Leadership as assumed by a King. Kingship is defined as who is aware and conscious of the are of punishing and sparing the stick; tam raajaa pranayansamyak trivargena abhivardhate or He is the ideal King who is truthfully wedded to the principles of virue and nyaaya, modest and ideal earnings for the Self and dependents besides spare for charity, and controlled and regulated by moderate and just desires; but certainly not to fullfill sensual pleasures, deceitful ways of flippant lives and of selfish motivations. When punishment is prescribed it may not be palatable to unrelenting minds, but when the king concerned does not proclaim it in a non commensurate manner without adequately examining or hiding facts of the case, then the King if partial in judgment is not spared too and might affect his family even. Once the King and his family s ruined, then the store of 'adharmaas' so collected might affect not only his possessions of castles, his territories and his 'praja' and their forunes also. Contrarily a champion of Dharma and Nyaya would carve a niche not merely among the co-kings but as in respect of Maharshis and even Devas might secure a qualification for Brahmatva! A continous series of undue punishments out of hiding facts or ignoring them and issued by an unjust King would have repurcussions on the disgrace and ruin of his deputies down the line in thed Vamsha and might adversely affect those concerned like Ministers, Army Commanders and so on as involved in the declarations of judgments. Further on, even the Sages would feel the guilt and the though processes of Devas receiving 'havyas' at the Agni Karyas in the Kingdom might be disturbed! Hence: Shuchinaa satyasandhena yathaa shaastaanusaarinaa, pranetum shakyate dandah susahaayena dheemataa/ Svaraashtre nyaaya vrittah syaad bhrishadashcha shatrushu, suhritsvajihmah snigdheshu braahmaneshu kshamaanvitah/ The ideal most King is such sagacious, truthful and inteligent kind of unique followers of Dharma and Nyaya, ably assisted by equally professional deputies, and indeed his judgments for or against punishments or rewards are stated to be one among the countless ones of his worthy race. The

fame of such rarity are like drops of oil spreading fast in running flows of water. However the ill fame of a King unworthy of his title and seat tends to act like buter on the water flows steadily till the day of doom. The idealism of Kingship upholds the dignities of the Chatur Varnas and ensures their continuity... Such Kings of rarity are stated to possess their daily routine as follows: in the early mornings itself, they attend the congregations of the learned and the aged vidwans of Rig-Yajur-SaamaVedas and discuss the specifics of Dharmas and of Administrative Principles involved. They worship and honour such vidwans appropriately and abide by their teachings as discussed. Such exemplary Kings are never harmed but enjoy longevity and prosperity. They are modest and that modesty makes them imperishable. For want of modesty, several Kings in history had perished along with their belongings and on the other hand hermits in forests had turned to be Kings. Veno vinashtovinayaatnahushashchaiva paarthivah/Sudaah paija vanashchaiva sumukho nimireva cha/ Prithustu vinayaad raajyam praaptavaan manureva cha, Kuberashcha dhanaishvaryam brahmannyam chaiya Gaadhijah/ In the historical introspective, illustrious Chakravartis or Emperors like Vena, Nahusha, Sudaasa, Yavana, Sumukha, and Nimi perished out of their questionable and evil conduct. On the other hand Prithu and Manu flourished as Chakravatis out their outstanding modesty and impecable character and Kubera gained the position of Dhanaadyaksha and one of the Ashtapalakas of the Universe. Vishwamitra the illusrious son of Gaadhi a Kshatriya by birth attained the status of an elevated Brahmana by the dint of perseverance, tapsya and conduct .The King should perfectly understand the aspirations of the common persons of the day especially in avioding the pitfalls of co-Kings and most unhesitatingly try to initiate steps in constructing such a Capital City and never even seek to his own personal comfort but ensure his deputies and staff as well as the public of the Kingdom to live with comfort and safety. Towards this end, he needs to construct a fortress protected by vagaries of seasons and possible eventualities of diseases or natural disasters. Such a fortress of distinction and status be suitably equipped with defence forces to ensure safety from attacks of beasts, robbers, internal forces of revolution, external foes and such elements and forified with weapons, grains, cattle and fodder, ample water and tools, as also Vidwans, artisans, and representatives of chatur varnas, and above all Purohitaas or Priests and Ritvigs to duly perform various smarta karmas of auspicious nature besides the shrouta karmas of daily agni karyas and Sacrifices. Yajeta raajaa kratubhirvi vidhairaapta dakshinaih, dharmaartham chaiva viprebhyo dadyaad bhogaan dhanaani cha/ Saanvatsarikamaaptaishcha raashtraadaahaarayed balim, syaachchaamnaayaparo loke varteta pitrivatnrishu/The King has to be such as always engaged in Ashwamedhaadi yajnas attracting learned Brahmans to receive gifts and charities of golden ornaments, precious clothes and so on besides providing employment to workers as also the participating crowds of public with feasts. Indeed the King is stated more than a father and protector of the interests of one and all. As the citizens of the Kingdom are responsive of the noble activities of the King and the band of his officials of commitment ensuring peace and safety, the taxes are paid on time and general business climate is salutary and hence the economy is sound and attracts investments from the public and from foreign kingdoms too. Besides plugging in loopholes of business transactions, the King too motivate the officials down the line with incentives, moral persuasion and punishments against inefficiency or corruption. As BrahmanaVidyathis emerge out of Guru Kula after Vedaadhyayana are suitably gifted and trained for more and more tough assignments to preserve and promote dharmaacharana since *nidhir braahmanobhi dheeyate* or indeed Brahmanas are the treasures installed by the Kings that could neither be lost nor robbed; such treasures could also not be split, nor perish as they are ever-sustained by the purity and blaze of Agni itself. Samamabraahmane daanam dvigunam braahmanabruve, praadheete shatasaahasramanantam veda -paarage/ Paatrasya hi visheshena shraddadhaanatayaiva cha, alpam vaa bahu vaa pretya daanasya phalamashnute/ While

charity is offered to any of Varnas then there would be good returns of 'sukrita phala', but once that daana is given to a Brahmana the returns get doubled; once that daanas are executed to a well read and knowledgeble Brahmana, the fruits get further intensified hundred thousand fold, while the recipient is a Veda Vedanga paaranga, then he demands 'anantha phala'! Even if a 'daana'were given as per one's *own* ability, then undoubtedly a deserving status is accomplished in the higher worlds. (Manu Smriti)

Reverting back to stanzas 94 -96: The most illusrious personality of Treta Yuga having successfully poineerd over hundred Asvamedha Yagjnas having executed ten thousand crores of daanaas especially of milch cows had kept up the flag of dharma atop, reigned for 11thousand years and then gor absorbed in the time cycle.

Vishleshana on Ashvamedha Yagina from Brihadaranyaka Upanishad: I.i.1) Om/ Ushaa vaa ashwasya medhyasya shirah, Suruyaschakshuh Vaatah Praanah Vyaattaragnir- vaishwaanarah Samvatsara Atmaashwasya medhasya/ Dyouh prishtham Antarikshamudaram Prithivi paajasyam Dishah paarshve Avaantardishah parshwah Rutavongaani Maasaashrthamaasascha parvaani ahoraatraani pratishthaah nakshatraanyasthaanaani Nabho maamsaani/ Uvadhyam sikataah sindhavo gudaah yakruccha klomaanascha parvataah Aoushadhyascha vanaspatayascha lomaani udyan purvaarthah, oshadhayascha vanaspatayascha lomaani,udyan purvaardhah nimlochan jaghanaardhah, yad vijrumbhate tad vidyotate, yad vidhunute tat stanayati yanmehati tad vasshati; vag evasyavaak/ (Om, while comparing an Ashwamedha or Horse Sacrifice to Nature, then Ushahkaala or the early dawn is comparable to its head, its breathing or life-force as Air, its eyes like Surya, its open mouth as Agni/ Fire or Vaishwanara and the body of the 'Ashwa' as comparable to a Year or better still the 'Kaalamaana' or the ime Cycle; its back as 'Swarga'; its belly like sky; its hoof like Earth; its sides like one fourths of a year; its limbs like the Seasons of a Year; its body bone joints like months and fortnights; its hooves like days and nights; its bones like Nakshatras or Stars; and its flesh like clouds. The Sacrificial horse's food in the stomach is like sand, its blood vesssels are river s, liver and spleen are comparable to mountains and the hairs like herbs and tree. The rising Surya is the horse's forepart while the hind part like the Sun set. The horse's yawns are comparable to lightings and its body shakes and shrieks are like thunders; its urination is like downpour rainfall and neighing is like sound waves!) (I.i.2) Aharvaa ashvam purastaan mahimaanvajaayata tasya purve samudre yonih, Ratriryenam paschan mahimaanvajaayata tasyaapare; Samudrayonih etauvaa ashwam mahimaananavabhitah samvabhuvatuh, Hayo bhutwaa Devaan avahat vaaji gandharvaan arvaasuraan ashvo manushyaan samudra evasya bandhuh samudro yonih/ (The dawn arises as the Swarna Kumbha or golden vessel -'Dipti Samanyat'-Mahiman appears in front of the Sacrificial Horse pointing out the day ahead and its origin is the Eastern Sea; at the dusk time or the evening the Rajata Kumbha or the Silver Vessel is kept on the rear side of the horse pointing to the arrival of night; its source is the Western Sea. These two sacrificial vessels are kept on the front and rear sides of the Sacrificial Horse thus indicating the dawn and dusk. The context differs in respect of Horse Sacrifice: it is called Haya Medha in respect of Devas, Vaajina Medha for Gandharvas, Arva Medha for Asuras and Ashwa Medha for human beings. Indeed, Sea is the common relative for Devas, Gandharvas, Asuras and human beings alike!)

Phasashriti: Stanzas:98-100: idam pavitram pāpaghnam puṇyam vedaiś ca sammitam, yaḥ paṭhed rāmacaritam sarvapāpaiḥ pramucyate/ 8a etad ākhyānam āyuṣyam paṭhan rāmāyaṇam naraḥ, saputrapautraḥ sagaṇaḥ pretya svarge mahīyate/ Paṭhan dvijo vāgṛṣabhatvam īyāt; syāt kṣatriyo bhūmipatitvam īyāt, vaṇigjanaḥ paṇyaphalatvam īyāj; janaś ca śūdro 'pi mahattvam īyāt/Those blessed persons who read this Shrimad Vaalmiki Ramayana being the 'Veda Saaraamsha' as of Pavitrata, Punya

maya and Paapa naashaka Shri Rama Charitra ought to be freed from sins and accumulate 'punya'. This Ramayana 'pathana' bestows longevity, endless generations, and post life 'Svarga pratishthata'. Brahmanas turn to vidvans, kshatriyas as Kings, Vaishyas with business prosperity, and the serving class with 'sangha pratishthita'.

Sarga Two

Nāradasya tu tad vākyain śrutvā vākyaviśāradah, pūjayām āsa dharmātmā sahaśisyo mahāmunih/ yathāvat pūjitas tena devarşir nāradas tadā, āpṛṣṭvaivābhyanujñātaḥ sa jagāma vihāyasam/ sa muhūrtam gate tasmin devalokam munis tadā, jagāma tamasātīram jāhnavyās tv avidūrataļ/ sa tu tīram samāsādya tamasāyā mahāmuniḥ, siṣyam āha sthitam pārsve dṛṣṭvā tīrtham akardamam/ akardamam idam tīrtham bharadvāja niśāmaya, ramanīyam prasannāmbu sanmanusyamano yathā/ nyasyatām kalaśas tāta dīvatām valkalam mama, idam evāvagāhisve tamasātīrtham uttamam/ evam ukto bharadvājo vālmīkena mahātmanā, prāyacchata munes tasya valkalam niyato guroḥ/ sa śiṣyahastād ādāya valkalam niyatendriyah, vicacāra ha paśyams tat sarvato vipulam vanam/ tasyābhyāśe tu mithunam carantam anapāyinam, dadarśa bhagavāms tatra krauñcayoś cārunihsvanam/ tasmāt tu mithunād ekam pumāmsam pāpaniścayah, jaghāna vairanilayo nisādas tasya paśyatah/ tam śoṇitaparītāṅgam veṣṭamānam mahītale, bhāryā tu nihatam dṛṣṭvā rurāva karuṇām giram/ tathā tu tam dvijam drstvā nisādena nipātitam, rser dharmātmanas tasya kārunyam samapadyata/ tatah karunaveditvād adharmo 'yam iti dvijah, niśāmya rudatīm krauñcīm idam vacanam abravīt/ Mā niṣāda pratiṣṭhām tvam agamaḥ śāśvatīḥ samāḥ, yat krauñcamithunād ekam avadhīḥ kāmamohitam/ tasyaivam bruvataś cintā babhūva hṛdi vīkṣataḥ, śokārtenāsya śakuneḥ kim idam vyāhṛtam mayā/ cintayan sa mahāprājñaś cakāra matimān matim, śisyam caivābravīd vākyam idam sa munipumgavaḥ/pādabaddho 'kṣarasamas tantrīlayasamanvitaḥ, sokārtasya pravṛtto me śloko bhavatu nānyathā/ śiṣyas tu tasya bruvato muner vākyam anuttamam, pratijagrāha samhṛṣṭas tasya tuṣṭo 'bhavad guruh/ so 'bhisekam tatah krtvā tīrthe tasmin yathāvidhi, tam eva cintayann artham upāvartata vai munih/bharadvājas tatah śisyo vinītah śrutavān guroh, kalaśam pūrnam ādāya pṛsthato 'nujagāma ha/ sa praviśyāśramapadam śisyena saha dharmavit, upavistah kathāś cānyāś cakāra dhyānam āsthitah/ ājagāma tato brahmā lokakartā svayam prabhuh, caturmukho mahātejā drastum tam munipumgavam/ vālmīkir atha tam dṛṣṭvā sahasotthāya vāg yatah, prāñjaliḥ prayato bhūtvā tasthau paramavismitaḥ/pūjayām āsa tam devam pādyārghyāsanavandanaiḥ, praṇamya vidhivac cainam pṛṣṭvānāmayam avyayam/ athopaviśya bhagavān āsane paramārcite, vālmīkaye maharṣaye samdideśāsanam tatah/ upaviste tadā tasmin sāksāl lokapitāmahe, tad gatenaiva manasā vālmīkir dhyānam āsthitah/pāpātmanā kṛtam kastam vairagrahanabuddhinā, yas tādrśam cāruravam krauñcam hanyād akāranāt/ śocann eva muhuh krauñcīm upaślokam imam punah, jagāv antargatamanā bhūtvā śokaparāyaṇaḥ/ tam uvāca tato brahmā prahasan munipumgavam, śloka eva tvayā baddho nātra kāryā vicāraṇā, macchandād eva te brahman pravṛtteyam sarasvatī,/ Rāmasya caritam kṛtsnam kuru tvam rsisattama, dharmātmano guṇavato loke rāmasya dhīmataḥ, vrttam kathaya dhīrasya yathā te nāradāc chrutam/ rahasyam ca prakāśam ca yad vṛttam tasya dhīmataḥ, rāmasya saha saumitre rākṣasānām ca sarvaśah/ vaidehyāś caiva yad vṛttam prakāśam yadi vā rahah, tac cāpy aviditam sarvam viditam te bhavişyati/ na te vāg anrtā kāvye kā cid atra bhavişyati, kuru rāmakathām puṇyām ślokabaddhām manoramām/ yāvat sthāsyanti girayaḥ saritaś ca mahītale, tāvad rāmāyaṇakathā lokeṣu pracariṣyati/ yāvad rāmasya ca kathā tvatkṛtā pracariṣyati, tāvad ūrdhvam adhaś ca tvam mallokeṣu nivatsyasi/ ity uktvā bhagavān brahmā tatraivāntaradhīyata, tataḥ saśiṣyo vālmīkir munir vismayam āyayau/ tasya śisyās tatah sarve jaguḥ ślokam imam punah, muhur muhuh prīyamāṇāḥ prāhuś ca bhṛśavismitāh/ samākṣaraiś caturbhir yaḥ pādair gīto maharṣiṇā, so 'nuvyāharaṇād bhūyaḥ śokaḥ ślokatvam āgataḥ/ tasva buddhir iyam jātā vālmīker bhāvitātmanah, krtsnam rāmāvanam kāvvam īdrśaih karavāny aham/ udāravrttārthapadair manoramais; tadāsya rāmasya cakāra kīrtimān, samākṣaraiḥ ślokaśatair yaśasvino; yaśaskaram kāvyam udāradhīr muniḥ/

Maharshi Valmiki while bathing in Tamasa River gets aghast seeing a couple of frolicking Krouncha birds shot down by merciless hunter and his expression was the beginning of Valmiki Ramayana! Brahmarshi Narada appears to have initiated deleneation of Shri Rama to Valmiki Maharshi and thereafter departed for a bath in river Tamasa near Ganga along with his disciples; he addressed his shishya named Bharadvaaja and expressed how refreshing was the bath. As he looked around he spotted on the banks of the cool water flows two krouncha birds in chirrupping play and fun in a nest on a tree branch. But just then a cruel hunter released an arrow at the loving male bird which got dropped dead in blood and the female bird crooned in anguish and misery. The two love birds had always been together infatuated with each other and Muni Valmiki was truly pained and hurt in his heart and inner conscious ness. The natural instinct of the Maharshi prompted him involuntarily to burst out rather reprimandingly: Mā niṣāda pratiṣṭhām tvam agamaḥ śāśvatīh samāḥ, yat krauñcamithunād ekam avadhīh **kāmamohitam**/ 'Hey hunter! Why have you so mercilessly killed the male partner of such loving birds suddenly! You too would soon die as a retribution!' Having shoutedspontaneously thus, the Maharshi got retrospective and addressed his disciples that a few words were slipped from my tongue as the feeling was intense! The sishyas replied unanimously: 'Paada baddhou aksharasamastah tantreelayasamanvitaḥ, shokaartasya pravritto me shloko bhavatu naanyathaa/ Guru sire! Whar ever has slipped out from your tongue has admirably fitted itself in a four lined stanza of glory with rhythmic sound metered with perfection of eight letters of prosody just as a 'veenaa dhvani' of the stringed musical instrument! The prime disciple Bharadwaja instantly agreed affirmingly that a meaningful stanza by framed as what the Guru has stated involantarily! As this incident had happened the entire troupe concluded their bath and moved on to their ashram even as the hot deliberation of the entire ashram was on the singular topic of the day. The Guru shishya 'samvada' on the principles of dharma took place subsequently although the background was basically hovering on the morning incident only. Meanwhile, the Charurmukha Brahma himself appeared and alerted Valmiki Maharshi. The latter was taken aback and prostrated to Brahma along paadya- arghya- aasana-puja- stotra formalities while Brahma endearingly made the Maharshi seated comfortalby beside him. But the Maharshi was at the back of his mind about the morning incident especially recalling what he stated at that juncture. Brahma smilingly understood what the Maharshi was cogitating about recalling what all the Maharshi stated. He then suggested: 'Maharshi! What you had stated spontaneously as a stanza was truly as per 'chhandas' or prosody and need not torment your psyche so much; let this stanza under reference be the inspiration of scripting the entirety of 'Rama charitra'; Bhagavan Shri Rama as the incarnation of Maha Vishnu Himself was indeed the exemplary human figure of the Treta Yuga of virtue- sacrifice-charity-tolerance but sibmultaneously of braveyheroism-and everlasting renown!

This was what Brahmarshi Narada conveyed to Valmiki Muni as having expressed by Brahma to Narada. Let this Rama Charitra be publicised so far kept dormant and undescribed and let the world be aware of the completed details as to how dharma prevails as the lasting reality, despite the vicissitudes and tests of Adharma as Truth is vindicated ultimately. Narada with the inspiration of Brahma affirmed to Valmiki Maharshi: Maharshi! what ever you are going to script as the 'Ramayana' shall most certainly be true and factual and hence be prepared soon as per 'anushthup cchhandas'. Yāvat sthāsyanti girayaḥ saritaś ca mahītale, tāvad rāmāyaṇakathā lokeṣu pracariṣyati/ yāvad rāmasya ca kathā tvatkṛtā pracariṣyati, tāvad ūrdhvam adhaś ca tvam mallokeṣu nivatsyasi/ 'As long as rivers flow and the might of mountains is sustained, the worlds should be fully saturated with 'Ramayana Prachaara'. The Ramayana that you would script soon ought to become popular world wide and what ever seriatum and content followd by you would be lasting too! Narada thus informed Valmiki after the disappearance of Lord Brahma.

Valmiki Maharshi was nonplussed with the rapid sequence of what all happened on that day. Once sensitised thus, the disciples of Valmiki kept on resounding repeatedly the shloka as they were literally dipped steep in. At the same time Valmiki Maharshi was mentally getting ready to take up the enormous task of Ramanayana of twenty four thousand stanzas plus and seeking to select the style of scripting according to meter as per chhando vedaanga, with tuneful phrases, conjunctions, and rhymes with aptness and of tunes enriching the content and inner meanings and appropriate emotional appeals embedded therein.

Sarga Three

Prāptarājyasya rāmasya vālmīkir bhagavān rṣiḥ, cakāra caritam kṛtsnam vicitrapadam ātmavān/ kṛtvā tu tan mahāprājñah sabhavisyam sahottaram, cintayām āsa ko nv etat prayuñjīyād iti prabhuh/ tasya cintayamānasya maharser bhāvitātmanah, agrhnītām tatah pādau munivesau kuśīlavau/ kuśīlavau tu dharmajñau rājaputrau yaśasvinau, bhrātarau svarasampannau dadarśāśramavāsinau/ sa tu medhāvinau dṛṣṭvā vedeṣu pariniṣṭhitau, vedopabṛhmaṇārthāya tāv agrāhayata prabhuḥ/ kāvyam rāmāyanam krtsnam sītāvāś caritam mahat, paulastva vadham itv eva cakāra caritavratah/ pāthye geve ca madhuram pramāṇais tribhir anvitam, jātibhih saptabhir yuktam tantrīlayasamanvitam/ hāsyasrngārakārunyaraudravīrabhayānakaih, bībhatsādirasair yuktam kāvyam etad agāyatām/ tau tu gāndharvatattvajñau sthānamūrcchanakovidau, bhrātarau svarasampannau gandharvāv iva rūpinau/ rūpalaksanasampannau madhurasvarabhāsinau, bimbādivoddhrtau bimbau rāmadehāt tathāparau/ atau rājaputrau kārtsnyena dharmyam ākhyānam uttamam, vāco vidheyam tat sarvam krtvā kāvyam aninditau/ rsīnām ca dvijātīnām sādhūnām ca samāgame, yathopadesam tattvajñau jagatus tau samāhitau/ Mahātmānau mahābhāgau sarvalaksanalaksitau, tau kadā cit sametānām ṛsīnām bhāvitātmanām/ Madhye sabham āsīnānām samīpasthāv idam kāvyam agāyatām, tac chrutvā munayah sarve bāṣpaparyaākule- kṣaṇāḥ/ sādhu sādhv ity tāv ūcatuḥ param vismayam āgatāḥ, te prītamanasaḥ sarve munayo dharmayatsalāh/ praśaśamsuh praśastayyau gāyamānau kuśīlayau, aho gītasya mādhuryam ślokānām ca viśesatah/ ciraniryrttam apy etat pratyaksam iya darśitam, praviśya tāy ubhau susthu tadā bhāvam agāyatām, sahitau madhuram raktam sampannam svarasampadā/ evam praśasyamānau tau tapahślāghyair maharsibhih, samraktataram atyartham madhuram tāv agāyatām/ prītah kaś cin munis tābhyām samsthitah kalaśam dadau prasanno valkalam kaś cid dadau tābhyām mahāyaśāh/ āścaryam idam ākhyānam muninā samprakīrtitam, param kavīnām ādhāram samāptam ca yathākramam/ Abhigeeta midam geetam sarvageetishu kovidou, aayushyam pushtijananam sarva shruti manharam/ praśasyamānau sarvatra kadā cit tatra gāyakau, rathyāsu rājamārgesu dadarsa bharatāgrajaļ/ svaveśma cānīya tato bhrātarau sakuśīlavau, pūjayām āsa pūjārhau rāmaḥ śatrunibarhaṇaḥ/ āsīnah kāñcane divye sa ca simhāsane prabhuḥ, upopaviṣṭaiḥ sacivair bhrātṛbhiś ca paramtapaḥ/ dṛṣṭvā tu rūpasampannau tāv ubhau vīninau tatah, uvāca laksmanam rāmah satrughnam bharatam tathā/ śrūyatām idam ākhyānam anayor devavarcasoh, vicitrārthapadam samyag gāyator madhurasvaram/ imau munī pārthivalakṣmaṇānvitau; kuśīlavau caiva mahātapasvinau, mamāpi tad bhūtikaram pracaksate; mahānubhāvam caritam nibodhata/ tatas tu tau rāmavacah pracoditāv; agāvatām mārgavidhānasampadā, sa cāpi rāmah pariṣadgataḥ śanair; bubhūṣayāsaktamanā babhūva/

Having heard intently the narration of what Brahmarshi Narada conceying Brahma Deva's directive to him, Vaalmiki Maharshi sought 'punardarshana' of Narada but with no success, especially about the directive that the scripting of Sampurna Ramayana should be to fulfill the human aspirations of Dharma-Artha- Kaama- Mokshas. But reappearance of Narada did not fructify. Then Valmiki dutifully squatted in 'padmaasana', performed 'aouposhana' of water as a mark of 'trikarana shuddhhi' or three folded purity of manasa-vaachaa-karmana or by way of topping up the thoughts by the heart-word -and deed. Then he pondered over the imaginary picture of Shri Rama- Lakshmana- Devi Sita; the Ayodhya Kingdom reigned by King Dasharatha with his queens; the related incidents of their collective incidents of

laughters-mutual converastions-thought patterns, the do's and don'ts of administration, and such detailing as filled on his powerful thought and memory screen. The Maharshi imagined the scene of the visits of Rama- Lakshmana and Devi Sita in sprawling garden tours and the interesting incidents thereof. Then the Maharshi seated firmly and had a rapid visual coverage on his mental retina. Just on the lines of what Sage Narada described, he visualised the Raghuvamsha Rama's 'kaavya nirmana' or the outline of the epic of Ramayana. Rama's birth, his outstanding bravery, his ready amiability to one and all, his unique popularity, his extreme patience and sense of forgiveness, his unparalleled truthfulness are to be emphasised on the memory screen. Maharshi Valmiki then imprinted on the screen as to how Rama and Lakshmana duo had experienced the amusing as also auspicious acts in the pioneering company of Sage Vishvamitra as imprinted on his retina including Shurpanakha's teaching a lesson, Mithila King Janaka's announcement of Devi Sita's swayamvara, Shiva Dhanush bhanga, detailings of weddings of Sita Rama and Urmila Lakshmana; Parashu Rama- Shri Rama samvada; Rama Rajyaabhisheka vighna, the villianous role of Kaikeyi, Rama Lakshmana Sita Vana Vaasa, Dasharatha shoka vilaapa followed by his death, the sorrow of the public, the devotion of Guha the boatman, the charioteer Sumanta's loyalty etc.

The overview of Ramayana by Maharshi in his trance from stanzas 15 -39:

Shri Rama, Lakshmana and Devi Sita raching Ganges- Bharadwaaja Muni darshana and as per his directive reaching Chitra Koota and enjoying the grandeur of its surroundings and building up a hutment for the threesome to live in-arrival of Bharata to meet them and requesting them to return back performing the remainder obsequies of their departed father- Bharata's return with the 'Rama Paduka' on his head to keep it back on the 'Rajya Simhasana' with veneration- Bharata's stay at Nandigrama-Rama's trio move out to dandaka -aranya-Viraadha vadha-Sharabhangi Muni darshana- Suteekshana samaagama-Anasuya and Sita devi together for some time [Devi Anasuya the daughter of Kardama Muni and the wife of Atri Maharshi residing in their hermitage in the periphery of Chitrakuta-being the mother of Dattatreya as Tri Murtis sought to test her chastity but converted them as toddling babes, popular as Maha Pativratas likeAhalya, Draupadi, Sita, Tara, Mandodari, Anasuya and Sumati] Having heard the background of Devi Sita's life, Anasuya gifted a miraculous ointment which could maintain her beauty and paativratya for ever!] - Maharshi Agastya darshana as he gifted Vaishnava dhanush to Ramaconfrontation with Surpanakha and Lakshmana's cutting off her ears and nose- Shri Rama's killing of Khara- Dushana- Trishira's killings by Rama- his killing of Maricha disguised as a golden deer desired by Devi Sita- avenging his sister Shurpanakha's act, Ravanasura disguised as a Muni forcibly abducts Devi Sita- Shri Rama's heart -pangs of due to Devi viyoga- Jatayu vadha by Ravanaasura- Rama Lakshmana getting snared by Kabandha the headless demon and their killing of the demon-Rama Lakshmana thrilled by the surroundings of Pampa sarovara- Shabari blessed by Shri Rama- the latter's severe pangs of Devi Sita Viyoga- meeting Hanuman at the foothills of 'Gandhamaadana' mount and along with Hanuman escorted to the exiled Vaanara King, Sugreeva- firming up friendship with Sugreeva-Baali Sugeeva battle- Rama's killing Baali- Sugreeva regained the Kingship- Devi Tara the widow of Baali cries away and Rama assuaging her sorrow-'sharatkaala' interrugnam months put a stop of Sugreeva's search for Devi Sita's whereabouts- Sugreeva 'pratijna' or swearing for 'Sita anveshana' or her whereabouts and his extensive for her- the blind Kite Sampati, the brother of Jatayu, with inner vision bestowed by Surya Deva, finally makes a break through of pointing out at Lanka the other side of the ocean shores under King Ravana's rule-Hanuman despatched to Lanka with Rama's golden ring to convince Devi Sita in exile- Hanuman seeks cross the ocean- Sumudra Deva warns Hanuman about 'Minaaki' who would rise up to halt but to be warned by Hanuman, Raakshasi 'Simhini' the shadow detector as Hanuman was flying be killed by him and 'Trikuta' mountatain the indicator of Lanka. Hanuman clearly followed the indicators by Samudra and entered the kingdom of Ravana's Lanka at midnight time. Being lonely he

pondered over the next step as he peeped in the palace of Ravana who was enjoying liquor and then waited for the day break assuming a mini monkey form in the Ashoka Vatika and having spotted Devi Sita brooding with sucessive cryings when he saw Ravana visiting her too as she was surrounded by female rakshasis headed by Trijata. On the exit of Rayana, Hanuman sneaked in and having assumed his normal form approached Devi Sita with prostrations and gave his introduction as the devout follower as a Rama Bhakta. To convince Devi Sita, he handed over Lord Shri Rama's finger ring of gold- in return she gave her 'choodaamani'. Thereafter Hanuman resorted to violent deastruction of Lanka's capital city helterskelter as the army of Lanka was annihilated and the survivals fled away. He then purposively surrended by himself so that he would be taken away to the King Rayana who was seated the royal court. In the court, Hanuman thundered and with his tail elongated and got lit up by the Ravana sena burnt off all over the city regions creating a huge scare of the Lanka Capital. There after, Hanuman crossed back the ocean, participated in a revelling party to the waiting co-monkey camrades in the Madhuvan, approached Shri Rama and conceyed about the welfare of Devi Sita and gave back her 'choodamani' the hair ornament as a memoir, made preparations for travel to Lanka, Rama's interaction with Samudra Deva, Nala the architect constructs a setu bridge across the Sea to let the Vanara Sena and the Selves walkk over, overnight surrounding bt Rama Sena around Lanka, Vibbhishana- Shri Rama 'maitri', Vibhishana giving hints of killing Ravana, Rama's killing of the massive Kumbhakarna, killing of Meghanatha the son of Ravana, Ravana Vinaasha, Devi Sita's final relief, Vibhishana pattaabhisheka at Lanka, Rama's pushpaka vimana yatra with Sita-Lakshmana- Hunuman and Vibhushana and the full entourage to Ayodhya, Bharata's warm reception, Shri Rama - Devi Sita pattaabhisheka celebrations, warm send off to vaanara sena, Devi Sita 'tyaaga' to forests on false accusations by a washerman in Ayodhya, her subsequent happenings and the future episodes were picturesquely described by the oustanding Valmiki Maharshi of eternal fame.

Sarga Four

Prāptarājyasya rāmasya vālmīkir bhagavān rṣiḥ, cakāra caritam kṛtsnam vicitrapadam ātmavān/ kṛtvā tu tan mahāprājñaḥ sabhaviṣyam sahottaram, cintayām āsa ko nv etat prayuñjīyād iti prabhuḥ/ tasya cintayamānasya maharşer bhāvitātmanah, agrhnītām tatah pādau muniveşau kuśīlavau/ kuśīlavau tu dharmajñau rājaputrau yaśasvinau, bhrātarau svarasampannau dadarśāśramavāsinau/ sa tu medhāvinau dṛṣṭvā vedeṣu pariniṣṭhitau, vedopabṛhmaṇārthāya tāv agrāhayata prabhuḥ/ kāvyam rāmāyanam krtsnam sītāvāś caritam mahat, paulastva vadham itv eva cakāra caritavratah/ pāthye geve ca madhuram pramāṇais tribhir anvitam, jātibhih saptabhir yuktam tantrīlayasamanvitam/ hāsyaśṛṅgārakāruṇyaraudravīrabhayānakaih, bībhatsādirasair yuktam kāvyam etad agāyatām/ tau tu gāndharvatattvajñau sthānamūrcchanakovidau, bhrātarau svarasampannau gandharvāv iva rūpinau/ rūpalaksanasampannau madhurasvarabhāsinau, bimbādivoddhṛtau bimbau rāmadehāt tathāparau/ atau rājaputrau kārtsnyena dharmyam ākhyānam uttamam, vāco vidheyam tat sarvam krtvā kāvyam aninditau/ rṣīṇām ca dvijātīnām sādhūnām ca samāgame, yathopadesam tattvajñau jagatus tau samāhitau/ Mahātmānau mahābhāgau sarvalakṣaṇalakṣitau, tau kadā cit sametānām ṛṣīṇām bhāvitātmanām/ Madhye sabham āsīnānām samīpasthāv idam kāvyam agāyatām, tac chrutvā munayah sarve bāṣpaparyaākule- kṣaṇāḥ/ sādhu sādhv ity tāv ūcatuḥ param vismayam āgatāḥ, te prītamanasaḥ sarve munayo dharmavatsalāh/ praśaśamsuh praśastavyau gāyamānau kuśīlavau, aho gītasya mādhuryam ślokānām ca viśeṣataḥ/ ciranirvṛttam apy etat pratyakṣam iva darśitam, praviśya tāv ubhau suṣṭhu tadā bhāvam agāyatām, sahitau madhuram raktam sampannam svarasampadā/ evam praśasyamānau tau tapaḥślāghyair maharṣibhiḥ, samraktataram atyartham madhuram tāv agāyatām/ prītaḥ kaś cin munis

tābhyām samsthitaḥ kalaśam dadau prasanno valkalam kaś cid dadau tābhyām mahāyaśāḥ/ āścaryam idam ākhyānam muninā samprakīrtitam, param kavīnām ādhāram samāptam ca yathākramam/ Abhigeeta -midam geetam sarvageetishu kovidou, aayushyam pushtijananam sarva shruti manharam/ praśasyamānau sarvatra kadā cit tatra gāyakau, rathyāsu rājamārgeṣu dadarśa bharatāgrajaḥ/ svaveśma cānīya tato bhrātarau sakuśīlavau, pūjayām āsa pūjārhau rāmaḥ śatrunibarhaṇaḥ/ āsīnaḥ kāñcane divye sa ca simhāsane prabhuḥ, upopaviṣṭaiḥ sacivair bhrātrbhiś ca paramtapaḥ/ dṛṣṭvā tu rūpasampannau tāv ubhau vīṇinau tataḥ, uvāca lakṣmaṇam rāmaḥ śatrughnam bharatam tathā/ śrūyatām idam ākhyānam anayor devavarcasoḥ, vicitrārthapadam samyag gāyator madhurasvaram/ imau munī pārthivalakṣmaṇānvitau; kuśīlavau caiva mahātapasvinau, mamāpi tad bhūtikaram pracakṣate; mahānubhāvam caritam nibodhata/ tatas tu tau rāmavacaḥ pracoditāv; agāyatām mārgavidhānasampadā, sa cāpi rāmaḥ pariṣadgataḥ śanair; bubhūṣayāsaktamanā babhūva/

[This Valmiki Ramayana of 24000 stanzas was sung by Lava- Kusha kumars of Shri Rama Devi Sita at a Conference of Muni Mandali before Shri Rama]

As Shri Rama returned to Ayodhya and took over the Kingship, Maharshi Valmiki had deftly reconstructed the proceedings of Ramayana in which he scripted 24000 shlokas over five hundred sargas and seven khandas including Uttara Ramayana. Then Maha Jnaani Valmika wondered whether there could be any personage who could recite as a musical sonnet to let the contents by publicised to the public. Even as he was wondering likewise, the two popular Raja Kumaras Lava and Kusha appeared on his memory screen in the robes of Muni Kumaras and touched his feet respectfully. These two illustrious lads were very intelligent having learnt Veda Vedangas as also the Kshaatra Dharmas from himself! Then he had taught the proceedings of Ramayana upto the date so far. pāṭhye geye ca madhuram pramāṇais tribhir anvitam, jātibhiḥ saptabhir yuktam tantrīlayasamanvitam/ hāsyaśṛṅgāra kārunyaraudravīrabhayānakaih, bībhatsādirasair yuktam kāvyam etad agāyatām/ Valmiki Maharshi described to Lava-Kusha Kumaras not only the full details of Ramayana but also the methodology of singing the entire sonnet as per the Nava Rasas as also of sweetness of shortened-medium-elingated 'swaras' of voice sounds; further the singing should be as per anvitas- shadaja-and sapta swaras, my the veena the stringed musical instrument. The singing needs also as per 'taala- and nava rasaas' of shringarakaruna-hasya-rouudra-bhayanaka and so on. Both Lava and Kusha were also saturated with Gandharva Vidya and its 'sthaana shabda' comprising 'mandra-madhyama and taararupa trividha swaraas'. From the hridaya grandhi or of the heart base or kantha grandhi and shira grandhi, the sounds originating from heart-throat-and head, the swaras are originated as mandra-madhyama-taara or bass-medium-pitched up.

Vishleshanaas:

[Nava Rasaas: Soundarya Lahari stanza 51 as explained: Shringara Rasa is representative of romance-Bibhibhatsa Rasa is on account of reaction to the appalling behavioral pattern of the nature of human and other species-Roudra Rasa is generated by anger-Adbhuta Rasa is the outcome of high esteem and awful wonder of Bhagavan's bravery and valor- Bhaayanka Rasa emanated from instant reaction of several hissing cobras all over-Veera Rasa reflects the puzzling awe of such as of the blood red colour imbibed into the red lotuses-Haasya Rasa is due to 'sakhee- sakhaa jana kreedaa svabhaava- Karuna Rasa in response to Bhakti jana's unstinted and heartfelt devotion- and Shanti is as the Final Destination of 'Tadaatmyata' with Prakriti and Parameshwara!]

[Gandharva Vidya: Narada Purana explains: In the Swara Shastra, the Swara of Archika is related to Rig Veda, 'Gaandhik' is to 'Gaadha' and 'Saamik' is to Sama Veda. A 'Swara' is according to 'Ruchas' (Hymns) and their variations, while in 'Gathas' or metered rhythemic verses Sama Veda has

'Vyavadhaanas' or pauses. The Yagina stotras, karanas and Mantras are required to be pronounced as per Swaras; otherwise they turn out to be 'Viruddha Swaras'. In the entire 'Vangmaya' Shastra (Vocabulary), pronounciation originates from 'Vakshasthala' (chest), 'Kantha' (throat) and 'Mastaka' (head); from the chest emerges the low level sounds normally resorted to morning singing, from the Kantha emerge the medium and very broad variety of sounds and from Mastaka are emanated high pitch sounds and their variations of volume. The Sapta Swaras-Sa, Ri, Ga, Ma, Pa, Da, and Ni-are 'Prathama' (Shadaja), 'Dwitiya' (Rishabha), 'Tritiya' (Gandhara), 'Chaturtha' (Madhyama), 'Mandra' (Panchama), 'Krushtha' (Dhaivata) and 'Atiswara' (Nishadha). Shadaja-Sa- stands for 'Sagar' (Sea) with peacock as the representative bird, 'Muladhara' (the base of the spine) as the Chakra (body part) and the ruling Deity as Ganapati. Rishabha Re-means bull representing the bird Skylark, 'Swadhishtana' or genital as the Chakra and the ruling Deity is Agni. Gandhara Swara 'Ga'means Gagan or Sky with goat as the representative animal, 'Manipura' (solar plexus/ naval) as the Chakra and Rudra is the concerned Deity. Madhyama-Mameans the Middle, represented by the bird dove, Anahata (heart) being the relevant body part and Vishnu as the Ruler concerned. Panchama-Pa-means the fifth, represented by nightingale and 'Vishuddha' (throat) as the relevant body part and the Ruling Deity is Sage Narada. The Swara titled Dhaivata-Dhameans Dharti or Earth, the representative animal being horse, the relevant Chakra being 'Aaajna' or the third eye and the Ruler being Sada Shiva. The Seventh Swara viz. Nishada-Ni- meaning Hunter and standing for the animal Elephant, has 'Sahasrara' (the crown of the head) as the body part, the Ruler being Surya as the Deity. Besides the Swaras, Shadaja, Madhyama and Gandhara are known as three 'Graamaas' (gamut or scale in music). Those who render 'Saama Gana' approve twenty graamas in Madhyama Swara, fourteen in Shadaja and fifteen in Gandhara. Also there are seven Murchanas (Intonations / Modulations) meant for Devatas viz. Nandi, Vishaala, Sumukhi, Chitra, Chitravati, Sukha and Bala; and seven for Pitaras viz. Aapyaayani, Vishwabhruta, Chandra, Hema, Kapardini, Maitri and Baarhati. For Rishis too there are seven Murchanas viz. Uttara Mandra in Shadaja Swara, Abhi Rudrata in Rishabha, and Ashvakranta in Gandhara. Besides, there are other Murchanas like Souvira in Madhyama Swara, Harshika in Panchama and Uttarayata in Dhaiyata Swara. The seven Murchanas utilised by Rishis are also normally used by humans. Normally, there are ten 'Gunas' in music viz. Rakta, Purna, Alankrita, Prasanna, Vyakta, Vikrushta, Slakshana, Sama, Sukumara, and Madhura. When 'Venu' (Flute), 'Veena' (stringed instrument) and Vocal are rendered together then that combination is known as Rakta or 'Ranjana'. Swara and Shruti (for eg. Kshobini Shruti in Shadaja, Tivra in Komala Rishabha, Dayavanti in Komala Gandharva, Prasarini in Tivra Madhyama, Alapini in Shuddha Dhaivataini in Komal Nishad) as also 'Chhanda' (Prosody) along with clear pronounciation are called 'Purna'; Alankrita denotes the Swara from the throat down to the place of heart and taking the sound up to the head; Prasanna emerges from kantha in 'gadgada' sound; Vyakta or clearly pronounced by the 'Pada' (letter), Padartha (material), vachana (eka or bahu / single or many) etc. When the sound is clear in high pitch and understood by the letters of Alphabet is Vikrushta; Slakshan is that Shriti which is devoid of either Dhruta or quick and Vilambita or elongated; Sama is that Shriti which normal by aspects without ups and downs; Sukumara Shruti is of soft nature and Madhura is sweet and sonorous. In regard to the Swaras of Padas (letters) there are eight varieties viz. Antodaatta (like Agnih in 'Agnirvritraani'), Adyudaatta (like Somah in Somah pavatey), Udaatta and Anudaatta respectively are like Pra and vah in the word 'Pra voyahvam'; Neecha Swarit is the word Veeryam in the expression 'Balam nyubjam veeryam'; Madhyadaatta like Havisha in the word 'Havishaa vidhema'; Swarita like Swaha in the expression 'Bhurbhuvah swaha' and finally Dirudaatta as 'V'kara and 'spa' in 'Vanaspatih'. 'Adi Swaras' are three in number viz. Udatta (high tone), Anudatta (low tone) and Swarita (medium). The Swarita is known as 'Swaar' and there are

seven Swaars viz. Jaatya, Kshepra, Abhinihit, Taira Vyanjana, Tiroviraama, Prashlishta and Paadavritta. [The wide range of Musical forms includes simple 'Sarali' (Easy to the beginners) with single or double digit variety like 'S-R-G-M-P-D-N or SS-RR-GG-MM-PP-DD-NN; 'Taara Sthayi' (elevated pitch); 'Alankaram' or musical ornamentation; 'Geeta' or simple musical forms; 'Swarajati' with complexes like Pallavi, Anupallavi and Charanam; Kritis or fulfledged singing; Varnam; Kirtana or lyrics; Kriti (higher form of singing); Ragamalika (garland of Raagas), Jaavali, Tillana and so on. [Select *Raagas* according to timings of day/ night: Before Sun rise- Bhoopaala, Bauli, Malayamaaruta; Early morning: Bilhari, Kedaram, Dhanyasi; before noon: Asavari, Saveri, Deva Manohari; Mid-day and later: Sri Ragam, Madhyamavati; before Evening: Mukhara, Begada; Evening: Vasanta, Purva Kalyani; Night: Neelambari, Kedaragoula; any time: Bhairavi, Kambhoji, Shankaraabharanam or Kalyani.]

Rupalakşanasampannau madhurasvarabhāşinau, bimbādivoddhṛtau bimbau rāmadehāt tathāparau/ Lava Kusha Kumars are stunningly handome with excellent natural qualities, speaking in sweet voices in their conversational style. They are just like Shrirama's prototypes worthy of high appreciation; as and when they converse in the congregations of Rishis or Brahmana panditas, Shri Rama charitra's singing was always thrilling. Once in one of such 'sabhas', the Munis were in trance shedding tears of ecstasy responding with expressions of boundless joy as the stanzas and their tuneful singing was par excellence! As the incidents of Ramayana were described as per the contexts, the Munis and Panditas were so much enraptured that some gifted them stood up clalling and gifted valuable clothing, 'mriga charmas' on which they were seated and 'rudraaksha maalaas' and 'yaginopaveetaas' even! Some gifted 'kamandulas' or carrying sacred water vessels, 'mekhalas' or traditional shawls, walking sticks, 'yagina paatras' or vessels for Fure Sacrifices, and even their own 'koupeenaas' or underwears even;. All of them were clapping in high appreciation and blessings forthe long life and auspiciousness to the boys.. As the lads were singing, they were dancing away as per the tune and the emotion concerned, while swinging the veena instrument, and swaying their fresh flower garlands drawing ready attention to the flocking onlookers. One day, Bharat noticed the gathering appreciative of Lava Kusha's Ramayana's song and dance sequence in the open public, and invited them to a concert in the Royal Court in the prescence of Shri Rama himself. At the conclusion, Shri Rama remarked addressing Lakshman, Bharata and Shatrughnas: 'These young lads had rendered Ramayana with such gusto and passion in such realistic style and this concert could be worthy repeatedly to organised manner'. Tatas tu tau rāmavacah pracoditāv; agāyatām mārgavidhānasampadā, sa cāpi rāmah parisadgatah śanair; bubhūsayāsaktamanā babhūva/As per the royal decree, crowds got bewiched to trances concert after concert to the unparalleled ecstasy and excitement of the public crowds at various theaters and road shows.

Sarga Five

Sarvāpūrvam iyam yeṣām āsīt kṛtsnā vasumdharā, prajāpatim upādāya nṛpāṇām jayaśālinām/ yeṣām sa sagaro nāma sāgaro yena khānitaḥ, ṣaṣṭiḥ putrasahasrāṇi yam yāntam paryavārayan/ ikṣvākūṇām idam teṣām rājñām vamśe mahātmanām, mahad utpannam ākhyānam rāmāyaṇam iti śrutam/ tad idam vartayiṣyāmi sarvam nikhilam āditaḥ, dharmakāmārthasahitam śrotavyam anasūyayā/ kosalo nāma muditaḥ sphīto janapado mahān, niviṣṭaḥ sarayūtīre prabhūtadhanadhānyavān/ ayodhyā nāma nagarī tatrāsīl lokaviśrutā, manunā mānavendreṇa yā purī nirmitā svayam/ āyatā daśa ca dve ca yojanāni mahāpurī, śrīmatī trīṇi vistīrṇā suvibhaktamahāpathā/ rājamārgeṇa mahatā suvibhaktena śobhitā, muktapuṣpāvakīrṇena jalasiktena nityaśaḥ/ tām tu rājā daśaratho mahārāṣṭravivardhanaḥ, purīm

āvāsayām āsa divi devapatir yathā/ kapāṭatoraṇavatīm suvibhaktāntarāpaṇām, sarvayantrāyudhavatīm upetām sarvaśilpibhiḥ/ sūtamāgadhasambādhām śrīmatīm atulaprabhām, uccāṭṭāladhvajavatīm śataghnīśatasamkulām/ vadhūnāṭakasaṅghaiś ca saṃyuktām sarvataḥ purīm, udyānāmravaṇopetām mahatīm sālamekhalām/ durgagambhīraparighām durgām anyair durāsadām, vājivāraṇasampūrṇām gobhir uṣṭraiḥ kharais tathā/ sāmantarājasaṅghaiś ca balikarmabhir āvṛtām, nānādeśanivāsaiś ca vaṇigbhir upaśobhitām/ prasādai ratnavikṛtaiḥ parvatair upaśobhitām, kūṭāgāraiś ca saṃpūrṇām indrasyevāmarāvatīm/ citrām aṣṭāpadākārām varanārīgaṇair yutām, sarvaratnasamākīrṇām vimānagṛhaśobhitām/ gṛhagāḍhām avicchidrām samabhūmau niveśitām, śālitaṇḍulasaṃpūrṇām ikṣukāṇḍarasodakām/ dundubhībhir mṛdaṅgaiś ca vīṇābhiḥ paṇavais tathā, nāditām bhṛśam atyartham pṛthivyām tām anuttamām/ vimānam iva siddhānām tapasādhigatam divi, suniveśitaveśmāntām narottamasamāvṛtām/ ye ca bāṇair na vidhyanti viviktam aparāparam, śabdavedhyam ca vitatam laghuhastā viśāradāḥ/ siṃhavyāghravarāhāṇām mattānām nadatām vane, hantāro niśitaiḥ śastrair balād bāhubalair api/ tādṛśānām sahasrais tām abhipūrṇām mahārathaiḥ, purīm āvāsayām āsa rājā daśarathas tadā/ tām agnimadbhir guṇavadbhir āvṛtām; dvijottamair vedaṣaḍaṅgapāragaiḥ, sahasradaiḥ satyaratair mahātmabhir; maharṣikalpair ṛṣibhiś ca kevalaih/

From the ongoing Vaivaswa Manvantara till King Dasharatha to Shri Rama, the entire Earth had been under the administration of kingships in chain Ikshvaku, Mandhata, Ambarisha, Harischandra and Sagara. It was Sagara who got the Great Ocean dug up by his sixty thousand sons; it was the perseverance of Bhagiratha that Ganga was brought down from the skies keeping the entire Aryavarta fertile till date! It is from this glorious past that this eternal Ramayana Maha Itihasa gor originated. Both Lava and Kushala decided to sing and extol all about! Koshala Desha was an illustrious Kingdom under the sovereignty Dasharatha in the banks of River Sarayu famed for self sufficiency of fertility and prosperity. Its Capital city was Ayodhya well famed in the contemporary world.; the city was known to have originated from Manu himself spread over twelve - yojanas - 12 to 15 km of length and 3-4 yojanas of width as surrounded by huge trees and green pastures and very broad and roads extremely well lay down. The high roads led to countless lanes and by lanes to excellent individual houses of breadth and width, spinkled with populat market areas offering a surprising variety of goods and services at competitive and uniform pricing at cost and reasonable profits well controlled. Tām tu rājā daśaratho mahārāstravivardhanah, purīm āvāsayām āsa divi devapatir yathā/ The city of Ayodhya was concieved in thed pattern of Indra Deva's Amaravati puri, glorious for dharma and nyaaya. Ayhodhya was popular as the destination for 'Lalita Kalas' of music-dance-paintings-shilpikala or stone works and architecture besides the yantraastra-shastra kalaas too ralated to battle regulations. Nataka- Natana Mandalis or Dramatics- Actionoriented institutions was yen anoter Fine Art Institutions were several of contemporary repute. The city of Ayodhya was surrounded by deep drenches impossible to jump across and is tightly guarded massive iron gates and was crowded with horses, elephants, camels, oxen, cows, and their overloaded carts britsling with activities day in and out. Innumerable tourists of men, women, children from all over Bhatat and overseas too add to the charisma of the city. The women of Ayodhya were wealthy ornamented with rich and rare jewellery and pure and well embroidered pure and high quality silk dresses of glamour and arresting attractions recalling the brilliance of Indra Loka. vimānam vaa siddhānām tapasādhigatam divi, suniveśitaveśmāntām narottamasamāvrtām/As though Siddhi Saadhakas having accomplished highrt lokas, the city of Ayodhya was of such reminiscence and glory. King Dasharadha had at the same time got readied such brave and gifted sena of calalry, elephantry, and other disciplines who defend the defenceless and destroy evil forces ao varying gradations be it a cruel animals in the surrounding forests or by an enemy of any origin within or outside. At the same time, Dasharadha had genuine care and respect for Agnihotris, Learned Panditas of veda vedaangas, and was always engaged in daana dharmaas, besides uplifting the poor and lower rung men and women with instant help and guidance.

[Vishleshana of Sagara Chakravarti and Bhagiratha: Maha Bhagavata Purana is quoted:Harischandra and his wife displayed unprecedented determination and tenacity to uphold Virtue and Self-sacrifice. The Son Rohitasya was brought back to life and was made the King, while Harischandra and wife Chandramati were provided instant places in Heavens. Visyamitra helped to populate the Kingdom and set examples of Dharma and surrender to Almighty. Harischandra's lineage after his son, Rohitasya was followed by sons Haritha-Champa-Sudeva-Vijaya-Bharuka-Vakra-Bahuka and Sagara (Sa-Gara ie born with poison, as Bahuka's co-wives tried to poison the boy's mother). Emporer Sagara performed Asvamedha (Horse) Sacrifice and Indra hid the horse which was discovered by the unruly 60,000 sons of Sagara, nearby the place where Sage Kapila was practising Sankhaya Yoga and when disturbed badly, the Sage burnt all of them into ashes by his power. Sagara's son by another wife, Asamanjasa or Ansuman pursued the search of the Sacrificial Horse and found the Horse where Kapila was in meditation. Ansuman begged of the Sage about the where- abouts of his cousins and was informed that the hooligans were burnt to death and could be brought back to life only when washed by the River of Ganges which could only be brought down to Earth from the Skies. The Sacrifice of Horse having been performed by Sagara, Ansuman began his devotion to Lord Siva to bring Ganges down to Earth. But neither he nor his father Dilipa could succeed in the mission. It was for **Bhagiradha** to purse the operation further. If Harishandra gave an eternal memory in truthfulness and integrity, a person of the same dynasity proved as a role model in tenacity. His life's mission was to bring Ganges down to Earth from Heavens. Bhagiradha's prayers were indeed granted by Mother Ganges to the devotee but warned him that the force of the flow from the Heavens to Earth could be withstood by no less than Lord Siva Himself! Bhagiradha never stopped his grand endeavour and worshipped Lord Siva with ausretity and purity who agreed, not only because of the sincerity with which the devotee desired to fulfill the long-standing family wish but also owing to the reason of Universal advantage. The Lord assumed a massive body and controlled the force of the River flowing from Lord Vishnu's feet and bore the brunt of the impact on His head in His 'Jatajut' or twisted hairs and released but a portion of the Holy River. Bhagiradha directed the fiery flow by riding a fast Chariot and brought it to the place where the ashes of his forefathers were purified and their souls liberated to Heavens. Till date, humanity continues to be grateful to him for the ever lasting memory of his gigantic efforts in our reaping the fruits of his labour in the huge land-mass covering entire 'Aryavarta' (Northern India)!]

[Vishleshana on Ayodhya:Ayodhya:Akaaro Brahmatah proktam YakaaroVishnuruchyate, Dhakaaro Rudra rupascha Ahodhyaanaama raajate/ Sarvopa Paatakairyuktair rahmahatyaadi paatakai, Na yodhyaa shaktate yasmaattaam ayodhyaam tato viduh/ (Skanda Purana, Vaishnava Khanda Ayodhyaa) Ayodhyaa is defined as 'A- kaara is Brahma, Ya-kaara is Vishnu and Dha-kaara is Rudra Swarupa; thus Ayodhya is a composite form of Tri Murthis. Maha Pataakas too are demolished by naming the Name of Ayodhya!) Valmiki Ramayana in Bala kaanda exclaims: Manunaa Maanavendrena saa Puri nirmitaa swayam/ (Manu confirms that he himself constructed Ayodhya himself!) In his opening introduction of Ayodhya Kaanda of Skanda Purana, Maha Muni Suta greets Bhagavan Shri Rama saying: Namaami Parama- atmanam Ramam rajiva lochanam, Atasikusuma shyamam Ravanaantaka mavyayam / (My greetings to Lord Shri Rama the Paramatma who is lotus eyed and of blue colour the terminator of the cruel and vily Ravanasura). Ayodhya puri is so sancrosanct that sinful beings could ever enter it, let alone reside there! From his right foot thumb emerged Ganga and Sarayu river got manifested from lelt foot thumb. That is why both the Rivers are Sacred and worthy of prostrations and bathing in these rivers is as effective as destroying Brahma hatya sin. Even before the Avatara of Shri Rama, Ayodhya was the Capital of Surya Vamsha Kings of Ikshwaku; the latter was the son of Vaivashwata Manu and to this dynasty

belonged to the illustrious Bhagiratha, Ambarisha, Nahusha, Yayati, Nabhaga, Ajan and Dasharatha. Skanda Purana in Vaishnava Khanda, Ayodhya Mahatmya gives the account of Veda Vijnana Vishnu Sharma whose severe Tapasya attracted Maha Vishnu darshana and the Pandita's request to him him the boon of constant Vishnu darshana; in turn Maha Vishnu instructed Sudarshana Chakra to dig up Bhumi and bring up Ganga from Patala Loka and the resultant Sacred Water flow was materialised as *Chakra* Tirtha. Earlier, Brahma himself resided at Ayodhya even before the incarnation of Shri Rama and hence the emergence of Brahma Kund. Brahma conveyed to Devas about the significance of this Tirtha -as given in Skanda Purana- would be such as that whoever performed formal snaana at the Kund and gave away daana would have been deemed as securing Ahwamedha yagna phala and blessed to fly as clad in Divya Vastras to Brahma Loka for residing there till the ensuing Pralaya. From Brahma kunda to the not too far Sarayu River is Runa Vimochana Tirtha where Muni Lomasha popularised specially among his followers who were delighted as the debts of one's very existence by way of births and deaths to parents and sons and the teacher, quite apart from the material debts of the current and past 'janmas' are cleared by snanas at the Tirtha. To the east of the Runa Vimochana Tirtha is the Paapa mochana Tirtha. Skanda Purana narrates the story of Panchala desha Brahmana was Maha Paapi who became conscious of his heaping stocks of sins and casually heard the conversation of a Group of Sadhus visiting Ayodhya. He visited Paapa Vimochana Tirtha along with them and happened to bathe on a Maagha Krishna Chaturdashi and also perfiormed daana karyas and he realised an unsual transformation in his psyche and was surprised to vision a Viman beckoning him and flew to Vishnu dhaam. Ahead of the glorious Paapa machana Tirtha is the Sahasra dhaara Tirtha which is known for demolishing all obstacles in life and overcoming enemies by mere snaana with faith and mental discipine. This indeed was the very Tirtha where after the close of the entire Ramayana, Lord Shri Rama instructed Lakshmana to bathe and by his own Mantra Shakti assume the Form of Adi Sesha! Actually, the background was that when Shri Ram who had once had an important visitor viz. Kaal Devata about which even Lakshman was unaware and instructed Lakshman not to enter and allow any visitor to enter either. Lakshman was faithfully guarding the entry of Rama Nivas by taking sincere rounds up and down the 'dwaar'. Meanwhile Maha Tapaswi Durvasa Maharshi who is noted for his short temper arrived and affectionately asked Lakshmana to let Ram inform of his arrival for Rama darshan. Lakshman being aware of Duravas's shaapa shakti alerted Rama of the Muni's arrival. With a view to protect his own Satya Vak Paripalana of Lakshman's disobedience despite his instruction, Rama had to resort to the extreme step of asking Lakshmana to perform Prana tyaga of Lakshmana. As Lakshmana took the form of Adisesha and visited Indra Loka even as the Sahasra Manis and their luster vanished, the lest the Tirtha place on Sarayu diminish significance, Indra and Devas arrived on the Spot ensured and in fact doubled its glory and sanctity and named it Sahasra Dhaara Tirtha and Lord Shri Rama blessed the title too for the benefit of posterity and Loka Kalyan. Swarga dwara dhaara: Skanda Purana further describes as follows: Every Tirtha darshana has one's own benefits yet Swaga dwara Tirtha has its own: Pratah kaala snana, japa-tapa-havanaupavasa-darshana-dhyana- daanas have their distinct results and those beings like the Chatur varna humans, mriga-pakshi-jala chara-krimi keetakaadi pranis happen to die at this Tirtha are qualified to direct access to Swarga and Vaikuntha dhaam. Bhagavan Vishnu in his Avatara Swarupas, especially of Shri Rama with his wife and brothers are stated at this Tirtha to select beings for their respective Punya Phalas and decide their 'nirnayas' based on their own past karmas overshadowing their contributions at the Swarga dwaar snaanas and punya karma mix. And so does the presence of Kailasha Vaasi along with Devi Parvati and their followers woul oversee the process of selection of Beings for the Higher Loka Prapti, asserts the Skanda Purana. Near Swarga dwaara is the Nageshwara nath Mandir; it is stated that

originally this Murti was originally made of Kusha grass but later King Vikramadiyta resurrected and reestablished the Idol with Veda mantras in a move to revive several 'Praachina' or age old Mandirs in Ayodhya. Yatris perform Pinda daana at Swarga dwaar Ghat with great devotion and bhakti. Chandra Sahasra Tirtha where Chandra sahasra vrata Udyapana is performed as also Argha danas are done on every Purnima Tithis to Chandra-Rohini Devis. Swarna Tirtha where Maharshi Vishwamitra's sishya Koutsa Muni called on Raghu Rama once and said that he wished for so much of wealth which he desired to give to his Guru which Rama too might nor possess. Shri Rama thought for a while and requested the Muni to please stay back in his court of Ayodhya overnight. Then Shri Rama invited Kubera Deva to bring considerable gold and on receiving it gave it away to Koutsa Muni. Next morning, Rama gave away all the gold given by Kubera and kept up his word by redonating the same to the Muni and truly satisfied him. This Swarna Tirtha had thus attained a gold-bestowing reputation and fullfill the material desires of who ever performed worship by way of snaana-daana-Japas with utmost faith. One of Ayodhya's major Mandirs is *Kanak Bhavan* which is quite big and mention worthy whis was supposed to be of Shri Ram's 'antahpura' or the interior palace hall where Devi Sita resided too. (There are big sized Sita Rama Idols seated on a throne together in the Mandir as also the idols of the very past which were however smaller. From Kanaka Bhavan away is the most famed Shri Rama Janma Sthaana which was stated to have been rebuilt as Masjid Babri; this Masjid which became the hot controversy was partially destroyed to make way for the original now albeit as a small make believe Mandir. Near to Rama Janma Sthaana are Sita Rasoyi or kitchen, Kopa bhavan or the Place where the love-fight Rama- Sita couple stayed; Ratna Simhasan or the Royal Throne made of jewels, Ananda Bhavan or the Palace of Joy, Ranga Mahal or the Hall of Music and Dance etc. The other Places worthy of visiting in Ayodhya's Sarayu River banks include Lakshman Ghat with a five feet Lakhmana Swami in the Mandir exclusively dedicated to him; Ahalya Ghat where Lord Rama is stated to have performed Yagna; Hanuman gadhi on an elevated sixty steps an Lord Hanuman in seated form; Darshaneshwar, Mani Parvat with Ashoka Stupa of broken 200 ft; Dantana Kund where Rama was stated to have had his mouth wash, where also Gautama Buddha, while in Ayodhya too rested. <u>Dasharatha</u> kund was the Place some few km. away on Sarayu River banks where King Dasharatha's 'Antya Dahana' was stated to have been performed. A mini- Parikrama of some 4 km around Ayodhya touches Ramaghat, Raghunadha Das gaddi, Sita kund, Agni Kund, Vidya kund, Mani Parvat, Kubera parvat, Sugriva parvat, Lakshman ghat, Swarga dwaar and back to Ram ghat. While no doubt Shri Rama Navami Celebrations on Chaitra Shukla Navami are famed for several days every year, Shravana ShuklaPaksha festivities and Sarayu River snaaas are considered as sacred, especially on Kartika Purnima)]

<u>Vishleshana on Kingship Duties</u>: A King is expected to be an earthly version of God, responsible for creating happiness and welfare, preserving security and prosperity and punishing the evil and disobedient. He is expected to set examples, without favour or fear. He should be above suspicion or indiscipline, promote competition and justice, encourage diligence and duty. His Coronation is a multi-splendered spectacle with elaborate Rituals ans Sacrifices, fun and fanfare, feasts and festivities and gifts and gratitudes to poor and unpriveleged. On taking over the Kingship, he makes a series of appointments and postings of Priminister and Ministers, Top Officials and Advisers and a whole lot of Workforce at various levels. A Military General has to be a Kshatriya or Brahmin, a Treasurer has to have keen knowledge of Jewels, a Charioteer should be an expert of horses& elephants as also an outstanding ability of conducting chariots with alacrity on the battle fields, Doctors of experience and proven merit, and likewise persons of outstanding ability in each and every discipline and tested loyalty to the King and the Court. Each official of any level has to be well behaved, honest, diligent and above all types of temptations. There has to a completely decentralised system of Governance, within a well- set and

publicly announced framework of Rules and there could never be an exception unless with the approval of the King who makes the Law or its Interpretation. There has to be a strong and widespread network of espionage and surveillance to the grass root levels to protect the interests of the Kingdom, the King, Officials and law-abiding citizens. Criminals are severely punished and Loyalists are assured of peaceful existence. The course of Law is not only just and swift but also should look to be convincing, transparent and unambiguous. The fiscal and monetary policy of the Government should also be uniform, impartial and well defined. Taxes are fixed as per the Sacred Texts and the process of tax collection has to be smooth, timely and automatic. Defaulters or protesters have to get opporunities to approach the Concerned Officials. Property Rights are also to be well defined, especially in respect of the poor, women, children, orphans and disabled and regular courts of civil and criminal cases are to be dealt with within approved time frames. There are various techniques used to let the offenders make confessions, the most significant ones being, 'Sama' (persuasion), 'Dana' (Gifting), 'Bheda' (divide interests), 'Danda' (punish), 'Maya' (Decieve or create make-believe situation), 'upeksha' (ingore) and 'mayajal' (jugglery). Punishments accorded to offenders not only punitive but more than that they serve as examples to ensure that others perpetrate similar offences. For example, a thief who steals Gold or Jewellery has his hands cut. A Brahman who provides wrong or misleading witness would be banished from the Kingdom. In case anybody kills cows, horses, elephants or camels would be summarily executed. Cases of abduction of a woman, or of poisoning, arson too attract execution. Disloyalty by a woman to husband or vice versa have their facial parts cut, torn by dogs and paraded in public.(Manu Smriti)

Sarga Six

Puryām tasyām ayodhyāyām vedavit sarvasamgrahah, dīrghadarśī mahātejāḥ paurajānapadapriyaḥ/ ikṣyākūṇām atiratho yajvā dharmarato vaśī/ maharṣikalpo rājarṣis triṣu lokṛṣu viśrutaḥ/ balavān nihatāmitro mitravān vijitendriyah, dhanaiś ca samcayaiś cānyaih śakravaiśravanopamah/ yathā manur mahātejā lokasya pariraksitā, tathā daśaratho rājā vasañ jagad apālayat/ tena satyābhisamdhena trivargam anutişthatā, pālitā sā purī śreşthendreņa ivāmarāvatī/ tasmin puravare hṛṣṭā dharmātmanā bahuśrutāh, narās tustādhanaih svaih svair alubdhāh satyavādinah/ nālpasamnicayah kaś cid āsīt tasmin purottame, kuṭumbī yo hy asiddhārtho 'gavāśvadhanadhānyavān/ kāmī vā na kadaryo vā nṛśamsaḥ puruṣaḥ kva cit, draṣṭum śakyam ayodhyāyām nāvidvān na ca nāstikaḥ/ sarve narāś ca nāryaś ca dharmaśīlāḥ susamyatāḥ, muditāḥ śīlavrttābhyām maharṣaya ivāmalāḥ/ nākuṇḍalī nāmukuṭī nāsragvī nālpabhogavān, nāmṛsto nānuliptāngo nāsugandhaś ca vidyate/ nāmṛstabhojī nādātā nāpy anangadaniskadhrk, nāhastābharano vāpi drsvate nāpy anātmavān/ nānāhitāgnir nāvajvā vipro nāpy asahasradah, kaś cid āsīd ayodhyāyām na ca nirvṛttasamkarah/ syakarmaniratā nityam brāhmanā vijitendriyāḥ, dānādhyayanaśīlāś ca samyatāś ca pratigrahe/ na nāstiko nānṛtako na kaś cid abahuśrutah, nāsūyako na cāśakto nāvidvān vidyate tadā/ na dīnah kṣiptacitto vā vyathito vāpi kaś cana, kaś cin naro vā nārī vā nāśrīmān nāpy arūpavān, drastum śakyam ayodhyāyām nāpi rājanyabhaktimān/ varņeşv agryacaturtheşu devatātithipūjakāḥ, dīrghāyuşo narāḥ sarve dharmam satyam ca samśritāḥ/ ksatram brahmamukham cāsīd vaiśyāh ksatram anuvratāh, śūdrāh svadharmaniratās trīn varnān upacāriņaļ/ sā tenekṣvākunāthena purī suparirakṣitā, yathā purastān manunā mānavendreṇa dhīmatā/ yodhānām agnikalpānām peśalānām amarṣiṇām, sampūrṇākṛtavidyānām guhākesariṇām iva/ kāmbojavisaye jātair bāhlīkais ca hayottamaih, vanāyujair nadījais ca pūrņāharihayopamaih/ vindhyaparvatajair mattaih pūrņā haimavatair api, madānvitair atibalair mātangaih parvatopamaih/ añjanād api niṣkrāntair vāmanād api ca dvipaiḥ, bhadramandrair bhadramṛgair mṛgamandraiś ca sā purī/nityamattaih sadā pūrnā nāgair acalasamnibhaih, sā yojane ca dve bhūyah satyanāmā prakāśate/ tām satyanāmām dṛḍhatoraṇārgalām; gṛhair vicitrair upaśobhitām śivām, purīm ayodhyām nrsahasrasamkulām; śaśāsa vai śakrasamo mahīpatih/

King Dasharatha, the glorious 'Atiratha' who could face a battle of ten thousand 'Maha Rathaas' or great charioteers was an outstanding administrator with incredible far sight. He was a reputed yagina karta, dharma paraayana, jitendriya, and in the contemporary world a 'Rajarshi' akin to popular Maharshis. He was mighty, enemyless, and a known friend among all the contemporary Kings, comparable to Mahendra himself! He was the epitome of 'chaturvidha aakankshas' or the fourfolded human aspirations of dharmaartha- kama- mokshas or virtue-prosperity-desire fullfillment- and finally bliss of Unity with Paramatma. He was administrator par excellence. Accordingly, his subjects too had imbibed the features of the King as the followers of virtue and justice, truthfulness, tolerance, spirit of compassion and self contentment. In this exemplary Ayodhya, there was no citizen who did not have valuable possessions, no achievement of aspirations of 'purusharthaas', and no opulence of domestic animals and grain-money surpluses. None of the citizens of Ayodhya had unfulfilled desires, meanmindedness, cruel, ignorant, and unaware of Almighty. The men and women, child and elderly and even domestic animals are ever contented. All the citizens were not only with proper dress but also adorned with ear rings, headgears, garlanded with fresh flowers and body perfumes besides being well procected against insects amd reptiles. There was no example of persons consuming stale and unsavoury food, none who were not ready to help others, and none again without public presentability. In the City of Ayodhya, varnaashrama dharmas were adhered too strictly as Brahmana-Khatriya- Vaishyas were respecting their respective duties and the lower rung was sincerely service minded. Ayodhyaa puri Brahmanas were dedicated to yagjna-svaadyaayis and indriya nigrahas and none ever were nastikas, asatyavaadis, aginaanis, and asamarthas of sadhana. All of the 'dvijas' of the twice born varnas of brahmana-kshatriya-vaishyas were converant with the awareness and even of expertise of Veda Vedangas, vrata deekshas, daana and atithi seva paraayanas, and of self contentment. Family life and affdinity of stree-purusha-santaanas- parivaaras was unquestioned in the Kingdom. In that ideal Society, there was total affinity of Brahmana- Kshatriyas, Vaishyas were always toeing the thoughts and actions mutually, while vaishyas were ready to follow the steps of kshatriyas. In fact, King Dasharatha was a role model of Manu Himself. Just as lions in their own caves, the citizens of Ayodhya are fiery, cunningless and straight forward, and replete with self confidence and initiative and are fully armed with astra-shastraas armoury and mastery of archery. On the battle fronts, the soldiers of Dasharatha were equipped with battle horses from Kamboja and Vaahneeka Deshas and well trained in Vanaayu Desha just as 'ucchaisharvyas' the celestial horses of Indra Loka. The Dashatratha sena was also equipped with elephants originated from the forests of Vindhya- Himalaya mountains with grit and power as comparable to the clan of 'Iravata' of Swarga, and well trained like Anjana and Vaamana Diggajaas. The elephants of Ayodhya were of the nativity of Bhadra from Himalayas, Mandra from Sahyadri and Mriga from Vindhyas, and of Bhadra-Mandra and Mriga cross-breeds. Maha Raja Dasharadha's administration of Ayodhya was indeed like that of Chandra Deva administered the akshatra Mandali on the high skies and of invincibility of the entire forces of enemies far and near!

Sarga Seven

Aṣṭau babhūvur vīrasya tasyāmātyā yaśasvinah, śucayaś cānuraktāś ca rājakrtyeṣu nityaśaḥ/ dhṛṣṭir jayanto vijayaḥ siddhārtho arthasādhakaḥ, aśoko mantrapālaś ca sumantraś cāṣṭamo 'bhavat/ rtvijau dvāv abhimatau tasyāstām rṣṭsattamau, vasiṣṭho vāmadevaś ca mantriṇaś ca tathāpare, śrīmantaś ca mahātmānaḥ śāstrajñā dṛḍhavikramāḥ, kīrtimantaḥ praṇihitā yathāvacanakāriṇaḥ/ tejaḥkṣamāyaśaḥprāptāḥ smitapūrvābhibhāṣiṇaḥ, krodhāt kāmārthahetor vā na brūyur anṛtaṁ vacaḥ/ a

tesām aviditam kim cit svesu nāsti paresu vā, krivamānam krtam vāpi cārenāpi cikīrsitam/ kuśalā vyavahāresu sauhrdesu parīksitāh, prāptakālam vathā dandam dhārayevuh sutesv api/ kośasamgrahane yuktā balasya ca parigrahe, ahitam cāpi puruṣam na vihimsyur adūṣakam/ vīrāś ca niyatotsāhā rājaśāstram anuşthitāḥ, śucīnām rakṣitāraś ca nityam viṣayavāsinām/ brahmakṣatram ahimsantas te kośam samapūrayan, sutīksnadandāh sampreksva purusasva balābalam/ śucīnām ekabuddhīnām sarveṣām samprajānatām, nāsīt pure vā rāṣṭre vā mṛṣāvādī naraḥ kva cit/ kaś cin na duṣṭas tatrāsīt paradāraratir narah, praśāntam sarvam evāsīd rāṣṭram puravaram ca tat/ suvāsasah suveśāś ca te ca sarve suśīlinah, hitārtham ca narendrasya jāgrato navacaksusā/ gurau gunagrhītāś ca prakhyātāś ca parākramaih, videšesv api vijñātāh sarvato buddhiniścayāt/īdrśais tair amātyais tu rājā daśaratho 'naghah,upapanno gunopetair anvaśāsad vasumdharām/ aveksamānaś cārena prajā dharmena rañjayan, nādhyagacchad viśistam vā tulyam vā śatrum ātmanah/ tair mantribhir mantrahitair nivistair; vṛto 'nuraktaih kuśalaih samarthaih, pārthivo dīptim avāpa yuktas; tejomayair gobhir ivodito 'rkah/ Ikshvaaku Maharaja Dasharatha had eight outstanding Ministers of high intellect, experience in administration, sharp insight, with such ability as to assess inside out of other's wishes and thoughts. At the same time they were ever of the supreme interest of the King, the Kingdom and the subjects of the Kingdom. Their outlook was traditional as per 'dharma and nyaaya' and at the same time keeping the larger interests of the 'Praja' and in close alignment of the directives of the Kingship. These eight Ministers were named Dhrishthi, Jayanta, Vijaya, Suraashtra, Rashtravardhana, Akopa, Dharmapaala and the expert of Artha Shastra or of excellent financial management. Among the Rishis of the Royal Court are the unparalleled Vashistha and Vaama Deva as the 'Purohitas' or the regular Chief Priests:

[Saptaishis are stated as Agastya-Atri-Bharadvaaja-Gautama- <u>Vashishtha</u> and Vishvamitra vide Jaimini Brahmana. <u>Vamadeva</u> mentioned by Rigveda's IV Mandala, besides Brihadaranyaka and Aitereya Upanishads]

Besides, Maharshis Suyagjna, Jaabaali, Kashyapa, Goutama, and Markandeya the Deerghaayu, and Katyaayana were the visiting Ministers cum Dharma Darshakas or Advisers of Virtue and Nyaaya. Additionally, the various Ritviks who had all organised yagina kaaryas for the Kingdom were also on the board of ministerial advisers as they were all of the traits like vinaya sheela-karya kushala-jetendriya-Shri Sampanna- mahatma- shastravidya nipuna-parakrami-raja karya saavadhaana- rajaagjnaanukulakshamasheela- sadaananda keertimaantu; they were never the victims of kama krodhaadi gunas. From the// 'Gudhacharis' or Intelligence persons especially from the neighbouring and even from distant kingdoms, the King of Ayodhya was well informed about the activities of the other Kings and their present and planned objectives. On the domestic front too the King was ever alerted and at the right time, the wrong doers were trapped and suitably punished; in that context, even own progeny or close relatives were never spared. In respect of the Treasury Funds the evaders and avoiders of taxes were hunted and the upkeep and activities of soldiers in respect of 'chaturanaga balas' of foot-horse-elephant-chariot soldiers, the day to day maintenance well monitored. But the offenders either in the army or those foreign agents caught were trated as per established norms of justice. At the same time, King Dasharatha was imbued with the spirit of proactive encouragement to the soldiers and from all the classes of the Kingdom. Those citizens outside his kingdom were duly protected too. The King was in the habit of addressing chaturvarnas, and took special care. The entirety of the citizenry of Ayodhya and the Koshala Rajya had the mind-body-and psyche of viruosity uniformly and there was total negation of awareness, villiany, illegal sex and corruption. There was total orderliness and peacefulness prevailing either on Ayodhya or the Koshala Rajya as a whole. The Ministers are not only dressed to perfection but also in their behaviour, performance, and deeds. This they become worthy of trust and esteem of the King. The King too having

imbibed the manners of the incredible Ministers was enabled to upkeep his huge kingdom with virtue and justice as famed in Trilokas.

Sargas eight and nine

Sarga eight: Astau babhūvur vīrasya tasyāmātyā yaśasvinah, śucayaś cānuraktāś ca rājakṛtyeṣu nityaśaḥ/ dhṛṣṭir jayanto vijayaḥ siddhārtho arthasādhakaḥ, aśoko mantrapālaś ca sumantraś cāṣṭamo 'bhavat/ rtvijau dvāv abhimatau tasvāstām rsisattamau, vasistho vāmadevas ca mantrinas ca tathāpare, śrīmantaś ca mahātmānaḥ śāstrajñā drdhavikramāḥ, kīrtimantaḥ praṇihitā yathāvacanakāriṇaḥ/ tejahksamāyaśahprāptāh smitapūrvābhibhāsinah, krodhāt kāmārthahetor vā na brūyur anṛtam vacah/ a tesām aviditam kim cit svesu nāsti paresu vā, kriyamānam kṛtam vāpi cārenāpi cikīrsitam/ kuśalā vyavahāresu sauhrdesu parīksitāh, prāptakālam vathā dandam dhārayevuh sutesv api/ kośasamgrahane yuktā balasya ca parigrahe, ahitam cāpi puruṣam na vihimsyur adūṣakam/ vīrāś ca niyatotsāhā rājaśāstram anuşthitāḥ, śucīnām rakṣitāraś ca nityam viṣayavāsinām/ brahmakṣatram ahimsantas te kośam samapūrayan, sutīksnadandāh sampreksva purusasva balābalam/ śucīnām ekabuddhīnām sarveṣām samprajānatām, nāsīt pure vā rāṣṭre vā mṛṣāvādī naraḥ kva cit/ kaś cin na duṣṭas tatrāsīt paradāraratir naraḥ, praśāntam sarvam evāsīd rāṣṭram puravaram ca tat/ suvāsasaḥ suveśāś ca te ca sarve suśīlinah, hitārtham ca narendrasya jāgrato nayacaksusā/ gurau gunagrhītāś ca prakhyātāś ca parākramaih, videšesv api vijñātāh sarvato buddhiniścayāt/īdṛśais tair amātyais tu rājā daśaratho 'naghaḥ,upapanno guṇopetair anvaśāsad vasuṁdharām/ avekṣamāṇaś cāreṇa prajā dharmeṇa rañjayan, nādhyagacchad viśiṣṭaṁ vā tulyaṁ vā śatrum ātmanaḥ/ tair mantribhir mantrahitair niviṣṭair; vṛto 'nuraktaiḥ kuśalaih samarthaiḥ, pārthivo dīptim avāpa yuktas; tejomayair gobhir ivodito 'rkah

Sarga nine: Tasya tv evam prabhāvasya dharmajñasya mahātmanaḥ, sutārtham tapyamānasya nāsīd vamśakarah sutah/ cintayānasya tasyaivam buddhir āsīn mahātmanah, sutārtham vājimedhena kimartham na yajāmy aham/ sa niścitām matim krtvā yastavyam iti buddhimān, mantribhih saha dharmātmā sarvair eva krtātmabhih/ tato 'bravīd idam rājā sumantram mantrisattamam, śīghram ānaya me sarvān gurūms tān sapurohitān/ etac chrutvā rahah sūto rājānam idam abravīt, rtvigbhir upadisto 'yam purāvṛtto mayā śrutaḥ/ sanatkumāro bhagavān pūrvam kathitavān kathām, ṛṣīṇām samnidhau rājams tava putrāgamam prati/ kāśyapasya tu putro 'sti vibhāndaka iti śrutah, rsyaśrnga iti khyātas tasya putro bhavisyati/ sa vane nityasamvrddho munir vanacarah sadā, nānyam jānāti viprendro nityam pitranuvartanāt/ dvaividhyam brahmacaryasya bhavişyati mahātmanah, lokeşu prathitam rājan vipraiś ca kathitam sadā/ tasyaivam vartamānasya kālah samabhivartata, agnim śuśrūsamānasya pitaram ca yaśasvinam/ etasminn eva kāle tu romapādaḥ pratāpavān, angeṣu prathito rājā bhaviṣyati mahābalaḥ/ tasya vyatikramād rājño bhavisyati sudārunā, anāvṛstih sughorā vai sarvabhūtabhayāvahā/ anāvṛstyām tu vṛttāyām rājā duhkhasamanvitah, brāhmanāñ śrutavṛddhāmś ca samānīya pravaksyati/ bhavantah śrutadharmāno loke cāritravedinah, samādiśantu niyamam prāyaścittam yathā bhavet/ vakṣyanti te mahīpālam brāhmanā vedapāragāh, vibhāndakasutam rājan sarvopāvair ihānava/ ānāvva ca mahīpāla rsyaśrngam susatkrtam, prayaccha kanyām śāntām vai vidhinā susamāhitah/ tesām tu vacanam śrutyā rājā cintām prapatsyate, kenopāyena vai śakyam ihānetum sa vīryavān/ tato rājā viniścitya saha mantribhir ātmavān, purohitam amātyām's ca presayisyati satkṛtān/ te tu rājño vacah śrutvā vyathitā vanatānanāh, na gacchema rser bhītā anunesyanti tam nrpam/ vaksyanti cintayityā te tasyopāyāms ca tān kşamān, āneşyāmo vayam vipram na ca doşo bhavişyati/ evam angādhipenaiva ganikābhir ṛṣeḥ sutaḥ, ānīto 'varşayad devaḥ śāntā cāsmai pradīyate/ rsyasrngas tu jāmātā putrāms tava vidhāsyati, sanatkumārakathitam etāvad vyāhrtam mayā/ atha hrsto daśarathah sumantram pratyabhāsata, vatharsvaśrngas tv ānīto vistarena tvavocvatām/

King Dasharatha as saturated with all the principles of Dharma and earnestly felt as to why he ought not perform the Ashvamedha Yagjna'; as soon as this thought got flashed, he insrtucted Sumantu the charioteer to call for all purohitas, Gurus and all the advisers concerned. Then arrived Suyagjna, Vaamadeva, Jaabaali, Kaashyapa, Kula Purohita Vasishtha, and all the various 'dhaarmic' advisers; the

King having welcomed them all with 'satkaaraas' addressed them about his decision to execute the Yajna and the experts had all one voice responded most positively. They suggested that the Sacrificial Horse be released from the banks of River Sarayu, yagjna saamagri be procured and world wide announcements be organised forthwith. Thus the yagjna program's minute detailing was worked out thoroughly and execution was fulfilled with fool- proof arrangements. In this connection, the Ministers apprortioned duties to respective agencies and thus the entire machinery of the kingdom was alerted to the orientation of the singular task of the Kingdom. The three famed queens of the Kingdom welcomed the decision of the King as though their countenances got brightened as never before just as of fresh and fragrant arrival of the Season of Vasanta and took over responsibilites under their respective commands.

In the ninth sarga, Sumantra the able and well wishing Royal Charioteer of King Dasharatha who had been most actively involved with the hot preparations of the Ashvamedha Yagna, approached King Dasharatha when the latter was alone and stated in all humility and sincerity that keeping in view the yagina in the offing, why not request the unique Rishya Shringa Maharshi to perform the horse sacrifice! In the days of yore, the illustrious Sanat Kumara was heard to have headed similar Yagina. Sumantra further stated that one had known two distinct Brahmacharis: one danda dharana- mekhala and brahmachava and another type is brahmachava of a married person who avoided stree samaagama in the wife's menses period wich is known as 'Gouna brahmacharya'. Rishya Shringa Muni was qualified on this preliminary count. More so, a farmore significant context be cited as follows: In the distant past there was a King named Romapaada whose Kingdom of Anga desha, there had been a number of years and dcades without rains and his subjects were alarmed. In desperation, the King decided to convene a conference of Panditas and appealed to them to reveal a way out to bring in rains; they had unanimously suggested to invite Rishyashringa as a remedy to the 'anaavrishti'. Accordingly, they suggested to marry off the princess to Rishyashringa named Devi Shanta. On hearing the narrative suggestion of Sumantu, King Dasharatha convened a meeting and the invited Muniganaas and Maha Panditas, and as per their unanimous approval, Sumantra asked to reach and request Muni Rishyashringa to head the priests in the context. But with a view to ensure that the latter might or might not agree to the request, the Muni Kumara lured by a group of professional dancing girls to invite the Muni Kumara and keeping in view the genuinness of the yagina, there would not be any impropriety involved!. Evam aṅgādhipenaiva ganikābhir rseh sutah, ānīto 'varsayad devah śāntā cāsmai pradīyate/ rsyaśrngas tu jāmātā putrāms tava vidhāsvati. Sanat kumārakathitam etāvad vvāhrtam mavā/ That was how, Rishvashringa was approved by the conference of Munis to be invited to head the Ashvamedha yagina". As the Muni Kumara was invited to the Yagina, King Dasharatha approved the proposal and despatched Sumantra to bring Rishyashringa but asked him as to how and by which method that the Muni was made to consent the invitation of King Romapada.. Vishlesana about Rishyashringa: Vibhandaka the son of Kashyapa Maharshi sighted Apsarasa Urvashi while bathing in a River and his semen dropped out and a female deer got conceived and gave birth to Rishyashringa with deer horns. His father desired to bring up the child in isolation in a hermitage even without the awareness of females and thus Rishyashringa learnt veda vedangas thoroughly under Kashyapa Muni. Then there was a persistence of famine in the kingdom of Anga and was advised that a youth named Rishyashringa be brought to the kingdom so that the kingdom would be blessed with ample rains. The King and his men took away Rishvashringa even without the awareness of Vibhandaka by luring him away from the ashram with the help of his courtesans and married off his daughter; as soon as Rishyashringa arrived in Anga desha, Indra blessed the kingdom with ample rains.

Sarga Ten

Sumantraś codito rājñā provācedam vacas tadā, yatharṣyaśṛṅgas tv ānītaḥ śṛṇu me mantribhiḥ saha/romapādam uvācedam sahāmātyaḥ purohitaḥ, upāyo nirapāyo 'yam asmābhir abhicintitaḥ/rṣyaśṛṅgo vanacaras tapaḥsvādhyāyane rataḥ, anabhijñaḥ sa nārīṇām viṣayāṇām sukhasya ca/ indriyārthair

abhimatair naracittapramāthibhih, puram ānāyayisyāmah ksipram cādhyavasīyatām/ ganikās tatra gacchantu rūpavatyah svalamkrtāh, pralobhya vividhopāyair ānesyantīha satkrtāh/ śrutvā tatheti rājā ca pratyuvāca purohitam, purohito mantriņas ca tathā cakrus ca te tadā/ vāramukhyās tu tac chrutvā vanam praviviśur mahat, āśramasyāvidūre 'smin yatnam kurvanti darśane/ rsiputrasya ghorasya nityam āśramavāsinah, pituh sa nityasamtusto nāticakrāma cāśramāt/ na tena janmaprabhrti drstapūrvam tapasvinā, strī vā pumān vā yac cānyat sattvam nagararāstrajam/ tatah kadā cit tam desam ājagāma yadrcchayā, vibhāndakasutas tatra tāś cāpaśyad varānganāh/tāś citraveṣāḥ pramadā gāyantyo madhurasvaraih, rsiputram upāgamva sarvā vacanam abruvan/ kas tvam kim vartase brahmañ iñātum icchāmahe vayam, ekas tvam vijane ghore vane carasi śamsa nah/ adrstarūpās tās tena kāmyarūpā vane striyah, hārdāt tasya matir jātā ākhyātum pitaram svakam/ pitā vibhāndako 'smākam tasyāham suta aurasah, rsyaśrnga iti khyātam nāma karma ca me bhuvi/ ihāśramapado 'smākam samīpe śubhadarśanāh, karisye vo 'tra pūjām vai sarvesām vidhipūrvakam/ rsiputravacah śrutvā sarvāsām matir āsa vai, tad āśramapadam drastum jagmuh sarvāś ca tena ha/ gatānām tu tatah pūjām ṛṣiputraś cakāra ha, idam arghyam idam pādyam idam mūlam phalam ca naḥ/ pratigrhya tu tām pūjām sarvā eva samutsukāh, rser bhītāś ca śīghram tu gamanāya matim dadhul/ asmākam api mukhyāni phalānīmāni yai dvija, gṛhāṇa prati bhadram te bhakṣayasva ca mā ciram/ tatas tās tam samālingya sarvā harşasamanvitāḥ, modakān pradadus tasmai bhakṣyāms ca vividhāñ subhān/ tāni cāsvādya tejasvī phalānīti sma manyate, anāsvāditapūrvāni vane nityanivāsinām/ āpṛcchya ca tadā vipram vratacaryām nivedya ca, gacchanti smāpadeśāt tā bhītās tasya pituh striyah/ gatāsu tāsu sarvāsu kāśyapasyātmajo dvijah, asvasthahrdayaś cāsīd duhkham sma parivartate/ tato 'paredyus tam deśam ājagāma sa vīryavan, manojñā vatra tā drstā vāramukhyāh svalamkrtāh/drstvaiva ca tadā vipram āvāntam hrstamānasāh, upasṛtya tataḥ sarvās tās tam ūcur idam vacaḥ/ ehy āśramapadam saumya asmākam iti cābruvan, tatrāpy esa vidhih śrīmān viśesena bhavisyati/ śrutvā tu vacanam tāsām sarvāsām hrdayamgamam, gamanāya matim cakre tam ca ninyus tadā striyah/ tatra cānīyamāne tu vipre tasmin mahātmani, vavarsa sahasā devo jagat prahlādayams tadā/ varsenaivāgatam vipram visayam svam narādhipah, pratyudgamya munim prahvah śirasā ca mahīm gatah/ arghyam ca pradadau tasmai nyāyatah susamāhitah, vavre prasādam viprendrān mā vipram manyur āviśet/ antahpuram praviśyāsmai kanyām dattvā yathāvidhi, śāntām śāntena manasā rājā harsam avāpa sah/ evam sa nvavasat tatra sarvakāmaih supūjitah, rsvaśrngo mahātejāh śāntavā saha bhārvavā/

As per the behest of King Dasharatha, Sumantra addressed King Dasharatha and the Ministers stating that Sage Romapaada followed the manner in which Rishyashringa was made to consent to visit Anga Desha. The Sage suggested that a few attractive dancing girls be selected for the purpose. This was arranged to perfection. Rishyashringa never hither got exposed to feminity of attractiveness and charm as he was always known for tapasya, swaadhyaa, and celibacy. Once he had suddenly met during his visits to forests, he saw a group of dancing girls. Even as he was surprised to see them, one of the girls folk was singing in a melodious tune. Rishyashringa approached her and asked her who was she, from where had she come, and why had she visited this lonely forest all by herself. Adrishtarupaastaastena kaamya rupaa vane striyah, haardaattasya matirjaataa aakhyaantu pitaram swayam/ As Rishyashringa never saw in the same forest which was of visited by him many a time, and was never knew of feminity of beauty and fascination while singing a tuneful song; he went near to her with a view to making friendship and initiated his conversation by introducing himself as the son of Vibhandaka Muni and was named as Rishyashringa popular all over as well recognised for his tapasya. He further stated that his ashram was quite nearby. He exclaimed that she was quite beautiful and charming and invited her to his ashram where she would be a honoured guest with formal respects. The highly polite and respectful manner with which Rishyashringa invited her, the damsel with her companions agreed to do so. As the girl entered with her friends, Rishyashringa offered water for foot wash, fragrant flowers and a large variety of fruits as a hearty meal and expressed many thanks for the excellent hospitality offered by the Muni Kumara and embraced him for his way of conduct and generosity but having realised the background of the Muni Kumara as his father was the famed Vibhanda Muni bid farewell quickly as she departed along with her companions. The Muni Kamara at the departure of the womenfolk gradually started feeling the pangs of separation. He went back to the same place of the forest and the co friends of the charming Princess

warmly offered return hospitality to him and as per his enquiry took Rishyashringa to Anga Desha. As the clouds got dark and rain drops got initiated from the skies, the King of Anga Desha realised that Muni Kumara Rishyashringa was on way to the kingdom. On his arrival, the King prostrated at the feet of Rishyashringa and requested him and his father Vibhanda Muni to kindly marry his daughter and become his son-in-law. As the father too consented, the wedlock was celebrated and Anga Desha never faced the struggle of 'kshaama' or rainlessness for a long spell of years thereafter.

Sarga Eleven

Bhūya eva ca rājendra śrņu me vacanam hitam, yathā sa devapravarah kathayām āsa buddhimān/ ikṣvākūṇām kule jāto bhaviṣyati sudhārmikaḥ, rājā daśaratho nāmnā śrīmān satyapratiśravaḥ/ angarājena sakhyam ca tasya rājño bhaviṣyati, kanyā cāsya mahābhāgā śāntā nāma bhaviṣyati/ putras tv angasya rājñas tu romapāda iti śrutaḥ, tam sa rājā daśaratho gamiṣyati mahāyaśāḥ/ anapatyo 'smi dharmātmañ śāntābhartā mama kratum, āhareta tvayājñaptah samtānārtham kulasya ca/ śrutvā rājño 'tha tad vākyam manasā sa vicintya ca, pradāsyate putravantam śāntā bhartāram ātmavān/ pratigrhya ca tam vipram sa rājā vigatajvarah, āharisyati tam vajñam prahṛstenāntarātmanā/ tam ca rājā daśaratho vastukāmah krtāñjalih, rsvaśrngam dvijaśrestham varavisvati dharmavit/ vajñārtham prasavārtham ca svargārtham ca nareśvarah, labhate ca sa tam kāmam dvijamukhyād viśām patih/ putrāś cāsya bhavişyanti catvāro 'mitavikramāḥ, vamsapratiṣṭhānakarāḥ sarvalokeṣu viśrutāḥ/ evam sa devapravaraḥ pūrvam kathitavān kathām, sanatkumāro bhagavān purā devayuge prabhuh/ sa tvam purusaśārdūla tam ānaya susatkṛtam, svayam eva mahārāja gatvā sabalavāhanaḥ/ anumānya vasiṣṭhaṁ ca sūtavākyaṁ niśamya ca, sāntaḥpuraḥ sahāmātyaḥ prayayau yatra sa dvijaḥ/ vanāni saritaś caiva vyatikramya śanaiḥ śanaih, abhicakrāma tam deśam yatra vai munipumgavah/āsādya tam dvijaśresthamromapādasamīpagam, rsiputram dadarśādau dīpyamānam ivānalam/ tato rājā yathānyāyam pūjām cakre viśeṣataḥ, sakhitvāt tasya vai rājñaḥ prahṛṣṭenāntarātmanā/ romapādena cākhvātam rsiputrāva dhīmate, sakhvam sambandhakam caiva tadā tam pratvapūjavat/ evam susatkrtas tena sahoşitvā nararşabhaḥ, saptāṣṭadivasān rājā rājānam idam abravīt/ śāntā tava sutā rājan saha bhartrā viśāmpate, madīyam nagaram vātu kāryam hi mahad udvatam/ tatheti rājā samśrutya gamanam tasya dhīmatah, uvāca vacanam vipram gaccha tvam saha bhāryayā/rsiputrah pratiśrutya tathety āha nrpam tadā, sa nrpenābhyanujñātah prayayau saha bhāryayā/ tāv anyonyāñjalim krtvā snehāt samślisya corasā, nanandatur daśaratho romapādaś ca vīryavān/ tatah suhṛdam āpṛcchya prasthito raghunandanah, purebhyah presayām āsa dūtān vai śīghragāminah, kriyatām nagaram sarvam ksipram eva svalamkrtam/ tatah prahrstāh paurās te śrutvā rājānam āgatam, tathā pracakrus tat sarvam rājñā yat preşitam tadā/ tataḥ svalamkṛtam rājā nagaram praviveśa ha, śankhadundubhinirghoṣaiḥ puraskṛtya dvijarşabham/ tatah pramuditāh sarve drstvā vai nāgarā dvijam, pravesyamānam satkrtya narendrenendrakarmanā/ antahpuram pravešyainam pūjām krtvā tu šāstratah, krtakrtyam tadātmānam mene tasyopavāhanāt/ antahpurāni sarvāni śāntām drstvā tathāgatām, saha bhartrā viśālāksīm prītyānandam upāgaman/ pūjyamānā ca tābhih sā rājñā caiva viśesatah, uvāsa tatra sukhitā kam cit kālam saha dvijā

Sumantra further addressed King Dasharatha as to what Maharshi Sanatkumara appeared to have asserted: 'In the future there would be a renowned King named Dasharatha of the Ikshvaaku vamsha as a 'dharmika satya pratigjna' or a high virtue and ever truthful one. He would be a great friend of Anga Desha King and his daughter was named princess Shanta and his son the Prince named Romapaada. The famed Dasharatha would approach the Anga desha's King and conveyed that he was not blessed with male progeny yet and would hence like to perform 'ashvamedhaa yagjna'. 'Tam ca rājā daśaratho yaṣṭukāmaḥ kṛtāñjaliḥ, ṛṣyaśṛngam dvijaśreṣṭham varayiṣyati dharmavit/ yajñārtham prasavārtham ca svargārtham ca nareśvaraḥ, labhate ca sa tam kāmam dvijamukhyād viśām patiḥ/ The King of great celebrity Dasharatha then would then request with folded hands that the popular Rishi Rishyashringa be asked to take up the Ashvamedha Yagjna and fulfill my desire'. Dasharatha Maha Raja! that was how Sanatkumara Maharshi proclaimed, said Sumanta. King Dasharatha was immensely pleased with what Sumantu quoted and that was conveyed to Vasahishtha Maharshi also for the latter's approval too. Then

the King along with his Ministers and Queens left for Anga desha. On the way they had to cross several rivers and forests and finally reached the Court of Anga desha King where MaharshiRishyashringa too was present. Both the Kings exchanged pleasantries mutually even as Sage Romadpada the father of Shanta Dedvi and King Dashratha exchanged the details of the proposed Yagjna for days together and finally Romapada approached Rishyashringa and requested the latter to take over the 'kartavya' of heading the auspicious 'Yagjna kaarya'. The instruction by Romapaada to Rishyashringa was that the latter's wife too be accompanied! As King Dasharatha and company returned back to Ayodhya, accompanied by Rishyashringa, there were loud cheers, street dances and reverberations of musical instruments welcoming them all with the Rishyashringa Rishi, the chief guest of honour along with his wife Shanta and entourage.

Sarga Twelve

Tataḥ kāle bahutithe kasmimś cit sumanohare, vasante samanuprāpte rājño yastum mano 'bhavat/ tataḥ prasādya śirasā tam vipram devavarņinam, yajñāya varayām āsa samtānārtham kulasya ca/ tatheti ca sa rājānam uvāca ca susatkrtah, sambhārāh sambhrivantām te turagas ca vimucvatām/ tato rājābravīd vākyam sumantram mantrisattamam, sumantrāvāhaya kṣipram rtvijo brahmavādinah/ tataḥ sumantras tvaritam gatvā tvaritavikramah, samānayat sa tān viprān samastān vedapāragān/ suyajñam vāmadevam ca jābālim atha kāśyapam, purohitam vasiṣṭham ca ye cānye dvijasattamāḥ/ tān pūjayitvā dharmātmā rājā daśarathas tadā, idam dharmārthasahitam ślaksnam vacanam abravīt/ mama lālapyamānasya putrārtham nāsti vai sukham, tadartham hayamedhena yakṣyāmīti matir mama/ tad aham yaṣṭum icchāmi śāstradṛṣṭena karmaṇā, ṛṣiputraprabhāvena kāmān prāpsyāmi cāpy aham/ tataḥ sādhv iti tad vākvam brāhmanāh pratvapūjavan, vasisthapramukhāh sarve pārthivasva mukhāc cvutam/ rsyaśrngapurogāś ca pratyūcur nrpatim tadā, sambhārāh sambhriyantām te turagaś ca vimucyatām/ sarvathā prāpyase putrāms caturo 'mitavikramān, yasya te dhārmikī buddhir iyam putrārtham āgatā/ tatah prīto 'bhavad rājā śrutvā tad dvijabhāsitam, amātyām's cābravīd rājā harsenedam subhāksaram/ gurūnām vacanāc chīghram sambhārāh sambhriyantu me, samarthādhisthitas cāsvah sopādhyāyo vimucyatām/ sarayvāś cottare tīre yajñabhūmir vidhīyatām, śāntayaś cābhivardhantām yathākalpam yathāvidhi/ śakyaḥ kartum ayam yajñaḥ sarveṇāpi mahīkṣitā, nāparādho bhavet kaṣṭo yady asmin kratusattame/ chidram hi mrgayante 'tra vidvāmso brahmarāksasāh vidhihīnasya vajñasya sadvah kartā vinaśyati/ tad yathā vidhipūrvam me kratur eṣa samāpyate, tathāvidhānam kriyatām samarthāḥ karaṇeṣv iha/ tatheti ca tataḥ sarve mantriṇaḥ pratyapūjayan, pārthivendrasya tad vākyam yathājñaptam akurvata/ tato dvijās te dharmajāam astuvan pārthivarsabham, anujāātās tatah sarve punar jagmur yathāgatam/ gatānām tu dvijātīnām mantrinas tān narādhipah, visarjayitvā svam veśma praviveśa mahādyutih/

Subsequent to the arrival of Rishi Rishyashringa, an auspicious day and time were selected and the former extended his approval to initiate the collection of the material and services concerned by the King and his associates. Then came about the announcement to let the sacrificlial horse be readied to be freed to move forward as per its own movement in any direction as it pleased for 'bhu bhramana' and that would be protected by very energetic and brave army round the clock, besides constructing a mammoth 'Yagjna shaala' at the northern direction of the banks of River Sarayu. The King instructed Sumantu to bring vedavidya experts as Ritviks. Suyagjna, Vaamadeva, Jaabaali, Kashyapa, purohita Vasishtha and various other experts and having brought them all, the King honoured them all with vastu-kanaka-vaahanaadi daanaas and all conveniences of food-housing-and facilities for them and families. He addressed them all and requested them to make the yagjna a huge success as he had been feeling the absence of excellent sons for many years now and he was not happy thus far with fame and name for himself alone. He further stressed that the presence of the popular Rishyshringa Maharshi as the Head of the Horse Sacrifice. The

King then promised to instantly attend to any problem or hardship or inconveniences faced by them or families either big or minute. *chidram hi mṛgayante 'tra vidvāmso brahmarākṣasāḥ vidhihīnasya yajñasya sadyaḥ kartā vinaśyati*/ He also cautioned that through out this yagjna and preperations thereof, there might be evil energies of natural and supenatural nature and that ample precautions were well in place. Having made the address to the huge conference, the delegates especially of Sages and Veda Vidvans, the King provided a glimpse of the preparations of the Maha Yagjna.

Sarga Thirteen

Punah prāpte vasante tu pūrnah samvatsaro 'bhavat, abhivādya vasistham ca nyāyatah pratipūjya ca/ abravīt praśritam vākyam prasavārtham dvijottamam, yajño me kriyatām vipra yathoktam munipumgava/ yathā na vighnah kriyate yajñāṅgesu vidhīyatām, bhayān snigdhah suhrn mahyam guruś ca paramo bhavān/ voḍhavyo bhavatā caiva bhāro yajñasya codyatah, tatheti ca sa rājānam abravīd dvijasattamah/ karişye sarvam evaitad bhavatā yat samarthitam, tato 'bravīd dvijān vṛddhān yajñakarmasu niṣṭhitān/ sthāpatye nisthitām's caiva vrddhān paramadhārmikān, karmāntikāñ silpakārān vardhakīn khanakān api/ gaṇakāñ śilpinaś caiva tathaiva natanartakān, tathā śucīñ śāstravidah puruṣān subahuśrutān/ yajñakarma samīhantām bhavanto rājaśāsanāt, iṣṭakā bahusāhasrī śīghram ānīyatām iti/aupakāryāh kriyantām ca rājñām bahugunānvitāh, brāhmanāvasathāś caiva kartavyāh śataśah śubhāh/ bhaksyānnapānair bahubhih samupetāh sunisthitāh, tathā paurajanasyāpi kartavyā bahuvistarāh/ āvāsā bahubhaksyā vai sarvakāmair upasthitāh, tathā jānapadasyāpi janasya bahusobhanam/ dātavyam annam vidhivat satkṛtya na tu līlayā, sarvavarnā yathā pūjām prāpnuvanti susatkṛtāh/ na cāvajñā prayoktavyā kāmakrodhavaśād api, yajñakarmasu ye 'vyagrāh purusāh śilpinas tathā/ tesām api viśesena pūjā kāryā yathākramam, yathā sarvam suvihitam na kim cit parihīyate/ tathā bhavantah kurvantu prītisnigdhena cetasā, tatah sarve samāgamya vasistham idam abruvan/ yathoktam tat karisyāmo na kim cit parihāsyate, tatah sumantram āhūva vasistho vākvam abravīt/ nimantravasva nrpatīn prthivvām ve ca dhārmikāh, brāhmanān ksatrivān vaiśvāñ śūdrāmś caiva sahasraśah/ samānavasva satkrtva sarvadeśesu mānavān, mithilādhipatim śūram janakam satyavikramam/ niṣṭhitam sarvaśāstreṣu tathā vedeṣu niṣṭhitam, tam ānaya mahābhāgam svayam eva susatkṛtam, pūrvasambandhinam jñātvā tatah pūrvam bravīmi te/ tathā kāśipatim snigdham satatam priyavādinam, sadvrttam devasamkāśam svayam evānayasva ha/ tathā kekayarājānam vṛddham paramadhārmikam, śvaśuram rājasimhasya saputram tam ihānaya/ angeśvaram mahābhāgam romapādam susatkrtam, vayasyam rājasimhasya tam ānaya yaśasvinam/ prācīnān sindhusauvīrān saurāsthreyām's ca pārthivān, dākṣiṇātyān narendrām's ca samastān ānayasva ha/ santi snigdhāś ca ye cānye rājānah pṛthivītale, tān ānaya yathākṣipram sānugān sahabāndhavān/ vasiṣṭhavākyam tac chrutvā sumantras tvaritas tadā, vyādiśat puruṣāms tatra rājñām ānayane śubhān/ svayam eva hi dharmātmā prayayau muniśāsanāt, sumantras tvarito bhūtvā samānetum mahīksitah/ te ca karmāntikāh sarve vasisthāya ca dhīmate, sarvam nivedayanti sma yajñe yad upakalpitam/ tatah prīto dvijaśreṣṭhas tān sarvān punar abravīt, avajñayā na dātavyam kasya cil līlayāpi vā, avajñayā kṛtam hanyād dātāram nātra samsavah/ tatah kais cid ahorātrair upayātā mahīksitah, bahūni ratnāny ādāya rājño daśarathasya ha/ tato vasisthah suprīto rājānam idam abravīt, upayātā naravyāghra rājānas tava śāsanāt/ mayāpi satkrtāh sarve yathārham rājasattamāh, yajñiyam ca krtam rājan purusaih susamāhitaiļ/ niryātu ca bhavān yaṣṭum yajñāyatanam antikāt, sarvakāmair upahṛtair upetam vai samantatah/ tathā vasisthavacanād rsyaśrṅgasya cobhayoh, śubhe divasa naksatre niryāto jagatīpatih/ tato vasisthapramukhāh sarva eva dvijottamāh, rsyaśrngam puraskrtya yajñakarmārabhams tadā/ As the rainy season concluded, King Dasharatha approached Maharshi Vasishtha and requested him to initiate him to assume 'yagjna diksha' as also enlighten him as to how to ensure that no hurdles might not be faced by issues created by evil energies including the interference by 'brahma rakshasis' and so on. Since the King expressed his anxiety and concern, Maharshi Vasishtha assured that he would take up all

the arrangements of the yagina; he called for engineering experts of architecture, construction and maintenance; engaged the agencies for physically procuring the material and periodical replenishments; groups of expert vipra panditas work out the designs and the methodology of vedic pramaanas and of, iyotishadi vedangas; thousands of workforce; nata- naatya -nartaka groups, and so on. Groups of kitchen appliance suppliers, and huge halls for cooking and catering were constructed quite apart from culinarycooking experts were appointed too. Construction of hundreds of colonies of charurvarnas as per gradations and expected facilities to live in with confort. Conferene Halls of varying sizes as per seating capacities were got readied. The concerned associations to provide all the relevant facilities assured Vasishtha Maharshi accordingly. Then the Maharshi instructed Sumantra to organise forwarding invitations for the Maha Yagina to the Kings and their Subjects all across Bharat. Also, he asked Sumantra to presonally invite the Kings of Mithila as he would certainly reciprocate the invitation with warmth and affection. Similarly the Kings of Kashi of excellent tradition, Kaikeya desha's aged King Dharmatma, Anga desha King the outstanding arrowsman and King Dasharadha's dear friend, Koshala King Bhanuman, Magadha King the sarva shastra visharada, the Kings of the Eastern Region especially Sindhu-Souveera and of Saurashtra, and of the Dakshina Bharata be extended invitations personally and collect their acceptance acknowledgements. Acordingly, Sumantra proceeded with the invitations fron King Dasharatha. Back home, all the tasks and duties og big or minute nature were taken up as per Maharshi's instructions in earnestness. Vashishtha then addressed the panditas and brahmanas stating: 'That when ever charities were to be distributed with sincerity and care as only such kind of 'daanaas' are fructified which the person giving away would not be adversely affected even instantly and certainly subsequently otherwise! Having thus reported to King Dasharatha, Maharshi Vasishtha narrated the details of instructions so that the latter needed not to get concerned about the entirety of the duties. Meanwhile, the 'yagina mandapa' got readied and accordingly on a most auspicious 'muhurta', Vashishtha accompanied by Rishi Rishyashringa and his entourage were ushered in and initiated the preliminaries of the Yagjna kaarya.

Sarga Fourteen

Atha samvatsare pūrne tasmin prāpte turangame, sarayvāś cottare tīre rājño yajño 'bhyavartata/ rsyaśrngam puraskrtya karma cakrur dvijarsabhāh, aśvamedhe mahāyajñe rājño 'sya sumahātmanah/ karma kurvanti vidhivad yājakā vedapāragāḥ, yathāvidhi yathānyāyam parikrāmanti śāstrataḥ/ pravargyam śāstrataḥ kṛtvā tathaivopasadam dvijāḥ, cakruś ca vidhivat sarvam adhikam karma śāstratah/ abhipūiya tato hrstāh sarve cakrur vathāvidhi, prātahsavanapūrvāni karmāni munipumgavāh/ na cāhutam abhūt tatra skhalitam vāpi kim cana, drśyate brahmavat sarvam ksemayuktam hi cakrire/ na teşv ahaḥsu śrānto vā kṣudhito vāpi dṛśyate, nāvidvān brāhmaṇas tatra nāśatānucaras tathā/ brāhmaṇā bhuñjate nityam nāthavantaś ca bhuñjate, tāpasā bhuñjate cāpi śramanā bhuñjate tathā/ vrddhāś ca vyādhitās caiva striyo bālās tathaiva ca, anisam bhuñjamānānām na trptir upalabhyate/ dīyatām dīyatām annam vāsāmsi vividhāni ca, iti samcoditās tatra tathā cakrur anekaśaḥ/ annakūṭāś ca bahavo dṛśyante parvatopamāḥ, divase divase tatra siddhasya vidhivat tadā/ annam hi vidhivat svādu praśamsanti dvijarşabhāḥ, aho tṛptāḥ sma bhadram te iti śuśrāva rāghavaḥ/ svalamkṛtāś ca puruṣā brāhmaṇān paryaveşayan, upāsate ca tān anye sumṛṣṭamaṇikuṇḍalāḥ/karmāntare tadā viprā hetuvādān bahūn api, prāhuḥ suvāgmino dhīrāḥ parasparajigīṣayā/ divase divase tatra samstare kuśalā dvijāḥ,sarvakarmāṇi cakrus te yathāśāstram pracoditāh/ nāsadangavid atrāsīn nāvrato nābahuśrutah, sadasyas tasya vai rājño nāvādakuśalo dvijaḥ/ prāpte yūpocchraye tasmin ṣaḍ bailvāḥ khādirās tathā, tāvanto bilvasahitāh parņinas ca tathāpare/slesmātakamayo disto devadārumayas tathā, dvāv eva tatra vihitau

bāhuvyastaparigrahau/ kāritāh sarva evaite śāstrajñair vajñakovidaih, śobhārtham tasya yajñasya kāñcanālamkrtā bhavan/ vinyastā vidhivat sarve śilpibhih sukrtā drdhāh, astāśrayah sarva eva acchāditās te vāsobhiḥ puṣpair gandhaiś ca bhūṣitāḥ, saptarṣayo dīptimanto ślakṣṇarūpasamanvitāḥ/ virājante vathā divi/istakāś ca yathānyāyam kāritāś ca pramānatah, cito 'gnir brāhmanais tatra kuśalaih śulbakarmani, sa cityo rājasimhasya samcitah kuśalair dvijaih/ garudo rukmapakso vai triguno 'ṣṭādaśātmakaḥ, niyuktās tatra paśavas tat tad uddiśya daivatam/ uragāḥ pakṣiṇaś caiva yathāśāstram pracoditāḥ, śāmitre tu hayas tatra tathā jala carāś ca ye/ rtvigbhiḥ sarvam evaitan niyuktaṁ śāstratas tadā, paśūnām triśatam tatra yūpeṣu niyatam tadā, aśvaratnottamam tasya rājño daśarathasya ha/ kausalyā tam hayam tatra paricarya samantatah, krpānair viśaśāsainam tribhih paramayā mudā/ patatrinā tadā sārdham susthitena ca cetasā, avasad rajanīm ekām kausalvā dharmakāmyayā/ hotādhvaryus tathodgātā hayena samayojayan/ mahisyā parivṛtthyātha vāvātām aparām tathā/ patatrinas tasya yapām uddhrtya niyatendriyah, rtvik parama sampannah śrapayām āsa śāstratal/ dhūmagandham vapāyās tu jighrati sma narādhipaḥ, yathākālam yathānyāyam nirnudan pāpam ātmanah/ hayasya yāni cāṇgāni tāni sarvāni brāhmanāh, agnau prāsvanti vidhivat samastāh sodasartvijah/ plaksasākhāsu vajñānām anvesām krivate havih, aśvamedhasya caikasya vaitaso bhāga isyate/ tryaho 'śvamedhah samkhyātah kalpasūtreņa brāhmaṇaih, catuṣṭomam ahas tasya prathamam parikalpitam/ ukthyam dvitīyam samkhyātam atirātram tathottaram, kāritās tatra bahavo vihitāḥ śāstradarśanāt/ jyotiṣṭomāyuṣī caiva atirātrau ca nirmitau, abhijid viśvajic caiva aptoryāmo mahākratuh/ prācīm hotre dadau rājā diśam svakulavardhanah, adhvaryave pratīcīm tu brahmane daksinām diśam/ udgātre tu tathodīcīm dakşinaişā vinirmitā, ashamedhe mahāyajñe svayambhuvihite purā/ kratum samāpya tu tadā nyāyatah purusarsabhah, rtvigbhyo hi dadau rājā dharām tām kratuvardhanah/ rtvijas ty abruvan sarve rājānam gatakalmaşam, bhavān eva mahīm kṛtsnām eko rakṣitum arhati/ na bhūmyā kāryam asmākam na hi śaktāh sma pālane, ratāh svādhyāyakarane vayam nityam hi bhūmipa, niskrayam kim cid eveha prayacchatu bhavān iti/ gavām śatasahasrāni daśa tebhyo dadau nṛpah, daśakotim suvarnasya rajatasya caturgunam/ rtvijas tu tatah sarve pradaduh sahitā vasu, rsyasrngāya munaye vasisthāya ca dhīmate/ tatas te nyāyatah kṛtvā pravibhāgam dvijottamāh, suprītamanasah sarve pratyūcur muditā bhṛśam/ tatah prītamanā rājā prāpya yajñam anuttamam, pāpāpaham svarnayanam dustaram pārthivarṣabhaiḥ/ tato 'bravīd rsvaśrṅgaṁ rājā daśarathas tadā, kulasva vardhanaṁ tat tu kartum arhasi suvrata/ tatheti ca sa rājānam uvāca dvijasattamah, bhavisyanti sutā rājam's catvāras te kulodvahāh/ The famed 'Yagjnaashva' the Sacrificial Horse after successful run all over the Earth had since returned back as a proof of Dasharatha's invincibility and popularity, even as the Sacrifice was initiated. At the northern side of River Sarayu. On the Yagjna Vedika was replete with groups of vedic experts totally engrossed with countless signifiacant tasks of the 'ishti' as per the stepwise 'karyakrama'. The 'Angabhuta Devatas' were respectively invoked as per the pratah savana- madhyaahna savana - and the triteeya savana or the morning- mid day- and after noon rituals as per Shastras. Indra devata was formally invoked to accept the 'havishaanna'. 'Somalata rasa' was extracted by keeping a sacred stone on earth with the accompanying mantras as specified. Thereafter the midday ritual was initiated. Then the king Dasharatha took up the third savana for the day as per the clear and loudly pronounced 'manrtocchhaa rana' of the 'ritviks'. Rishyashringa and other Maharshis during the 'abhyaasa kaala' had loudly and clearly recited the 'devata ahvaana mantras' or the invocating stanzas of Devas in 'svara and varna' or the voice and tone as per the prescription. Gatirbhirmadhuraih snighairmantrairyathaarhatah, hotaaro dadur - aahvaa havirbhaagaan divoukasaam/ The sweet and readily appealing 'ahvaana mantras' or welcome stanzas were pronounced in melodious tunes while making the offerings of the havish. There was no tune or pronounciation blemish of the mantras rendered most perfectly as per the ideal most 'uchharana'. The 'aahutis' to Agni were precise, perfect and tuneful. In the entire duration of the yagina, none of the ritvik brahmanas ever looked hungry or thirsty nor inalert or fatigued but ever enthusiastic unconcerned except the task on hand.

Vishleshana on Ritviks: Homa Kunda [Taittireeya Aaranyaka: Construction of Homa Kunda: As the norhern side altar, a knee deep pit be dug up filled with water up to the ankle as covered with lotus leaves, stalks and lotus flowers. There on flat platform be devised and Agni is placed. Then the Brahmavaadis notionally raise questions: Why this Agni is stated to be 'pranite' or revered and 'chivate' or gathered togeher! The replies re given: Agni is revered as placed waters; Agni is gatherd asit is called 'Ahitaagni' the one fostering auspicious -ness as also to safe guard the trilokas with celestial mobility. There is another type of 'abhitaani' or stationary Fire especially due to the concern of water sprinkles and also to protect 'abhishikta' deities. This procedure termed 'Arunaketuka'is stated common to yagjna varieties such as 'Agnihotra- Darsha purnaamaasa-Pashubandhana and Chaturmasya; these applications are practised with yagjnas or more appropriately the Yagja kratus. Shandika Maharshi when raises a question as to which kind of Agni's worship is commended; the reply obviously states that such yagina karya as yields advantages all through the year as termed as 'Saatvitram Agni' apparently targetting Surya Deva and even beyond. Indeed the universe is full of water and nothing else and Prajapati emerged on a lotus leaf with a unique wish. As a thought appeared on his mental retina, that thought got converted as a speech; tad vaachaa vadati, tatkarmanakaroti or once the speech emerges, then that leads to action: then that action symbolises a Veda Mantra! Initially thus a desire led to mind. The primary thought blossomed as the flower of reality. Rig Veda vide 10.129.4 is aptly quoted: Kaamastadagre samayartataadhi manaso retah prathamam yadaaseet / sato bandhusati nirayindann | hrudi prateeshyaa kavayo maneesheti/ or right at the very beginning of Virat Swarupa had the wish to manifest 'Srishti' and that thought like a 'beeja srijana saamardhya' or the ability to generate the seed was caused. Once the unique thought of a highly personified knowledge occurs then that intense thought takes the form of Reality! It is said that Sages have the impulse of mind which leads to fruition. This very Vedic Triplet of 'hridaa-manasaa-maneesha' is confirmed vide Rig Veda I.61.2 : Asmaaidu praya iva prayaami bharaamyangyusham baadh suvritti, Indraaya hridaa manasaa maneesahaa pratnaaya dhiyo marjayanta/ or we offer a limited 'havishya samaana stotra' as an ideal chant for 'sharu vinaashana'; Rishi ganas offer sacred stotras by way of hridaya-manas-buddhi!Consequent on the desire to undertake creation, Prajapati having performed tapas, shook off his body and a small mass of flesh got generated and three Maharshis appeared viz. Aruna-Ketavah-Vaaarashana and stood up. From His long nails appeared Vaikhaanasa; from His long hairs or 'Vaalaas' emerged Vaalakhilyaas from whose essence water got generated. There after from the waters, kurma or tortoise crawled therein. Prajapati addressed the kurma: have you emerged from my 'twang' or skin and 'maamsa' or flesh. Kurma replied in the negative and said that even in the ancient times, that the concept of 'Purushatwam' or virility of the universe accomplished its existence; the tortoise then assumed thousand heads and thousand eyes; the thousand eyes flashed from the waters. Then the Creator Prajapati exclaimed: Tamabraveet | tvam vai poorvagm samabhoohu | tvamidam poorvah kurushveti / or ' indeed, you were born well before I came nto existence; since you were the first, you created the universe well before me! Having confessed thus the Virat Purusha picked water from the primordial ocean from his hands and deposited a fistful water towards the easterly direction uttering the mantra 'evaa hyeva'! Tat Aditya udtishthat, saa praachee dik/ Aditya then stood uptowards the easterly direction; Arunaketu Deva then deposited water in the southern direction pronouncing the mantra: 'evaa hy vagna' when Arunaketu Agni manifested. Then Arunaketu offered firstful of water to the western direction with the mantra 'eaahi vaayu' and Vayu Deva manifested upwards from the ocean. Then Arunaketu Deva offered water in the northern direction with the mantra 'evaahi Indra' and Indra Deva manifested. As Arunaketu offered to the 'Antariksha' with the mantra 'evaahi Pushan' and the Antariksha Devata Pushan manifested. Arunaketu further deposited water into

the space stating 'eaahi deva' then 'Deva manushyaa Pitarah Gandharva apsarasas' got manifested. Further on, waterdrops were sprinkled by the Virat Prusha and the waters fell down: 'taabhyo~suraa rakshaagmsi pishaachaashchodatishann | tasmaatte paraabhavann | viprudbhyo hi te samabhavann' or there got manifested asuras, raakshasaas, pishachis and were defeated and destroyed subsequently. Then the waters enveloped the mighty womb and Swayambhu Manu . Rig Veda vide 10.121.7 states: Apo ha yadbrihareer vishvamaayangarbha dadhaanaa janayantiragnim, tato Devataanaam samavarta taasurekah kasmai Devaaya havishaa vidhema/ or even before srishti, a massive form of water or the 'Mula Kriyaasheela Tatwa' got overshadowed; this got conceived as a 'garbha' and from there emerged Agni-Akaasha and there followed the primeform of Praana the Vital Energy which was worshipped with unanimity nd utter sincerity! From the waters in mass or in smaller units got created and so did the Celestial Swarupa of Pajapati on his own as 'atmaana aatmaanam' as Self Created. Thus Prajapati the Self Generated, created the worlds, all the Beings, Directions, Intermediate Lokas, and so on.He enters within every Being, every feature and facet, within-without, inside and outside out, comprehensively and intrinsically. Indeed He is omni-present, omni potent and omni-scient!125.1-9:Preparation of Homa Kunda: The preparation of the homakunda or the Fire Altar arranged in the northern direction as dug up knee deep and filled with water. On the top of the altar are lotus leaves spread over and the 'Hiranya Purusha' installed; Tapo vai pushkaraparnam satyagmrukmaha amrutam purushaha, etaavadvaa vaasti yaavadetat yaavadevasti tadavarundhe / The lotus leaf is the tapo vedi; Satya or the personification of Truth as the 'rukma' or the golden shine- and Amritam or Immortality; indeed the divine combination is of 'satyam-rukma-amritam'. He next step is to instal Kurma the Sacred Tortoise which indeed is the 'medha' or the essense of water asstated to have been derived from Swarga; Kurma is the Supreme Purusha existent well before Prajapati the 'karta of srishti' or chief of Creation. Now the prayer of the Karta of the agina: May we secure continuous flows of water by the help of 'Tisra Paramaja' Agni, Vayu, Bhaskara. Thereafter, let this Homa Kunda be filled in by the powers concerned. Lat the powers represented by the bricks at the Homa Kunda be enhanced by the mantra of *Indra ghosha vasubhih*.. The Yagjna karta may then prepare five compartments or sections each with Agni in 'pancha chitayh' or five layers decorated by special things like Yavan et.c. The worshipper then places five lotus flowers in each compartment representing 'Panchaagnis' viz. Aahavaniya, Gaarhapatya, Dakshina, Sabhya, and Vasatya. Now the second brick named 'lokaprana' or the large brick named Virat of five feet representing bhumi, antariksha, swarga; dishas or directions, and 'paroraja' or what is beyond swarga; the space fillings are of ' loka praana'. ya etamagninchinute / ya uchainamevam veda / or He who worships Agni Deva illuminates like the Viraja or the Emperor!]

There were maganimous bhojanas of bhakshya-bhojya-lehya- choshya- paneeyaas [Pancha Bhakshya or fried and other savoury or sweet food items, Bhojya basic eatables like cereals, Lehya or those consumed with the use of tongue, choshya or consumed by using lips and paaneeyas or drinklables] daily in separate halls as per varnas of Brahmana-Kshatriya- Vaishya-Service classes and of respective sex. The elderly- youth-child of men and women besides of disabled or ill persons were served and ever contented. *Deeyatam deyataamannam vaasaamsi vividhaanicha, iti sanchoditastra tathaa chakuraneshah*/ The watch words among the invitees as pronounced loud and clear often declared by the volunteers of the kingdom's 'annashalaas' were: Take the Food and Take New Clothes! The freshly cooked food, especially the cereals were of the magnitudes of mountain heaps! All the populace as the guests of the yagjna coming from far and near were of uniform vioce of total contentment and happiness. There were several voluntary groups of Brahmanas performing recitations of 'vedamantras' attracted by the mesmerised audiences. In fact there were 'sadasyas' of the contingent of panditas engaged in the yagjna

karmas were such as not all round erudites, veda vyakarana -adi panditas, brahmacharya paalakaas and 'bahushrutas' or experts in more than one vedas, besides being 'tarka-meemaamsa pravenas'. In the formal yagina in progress, there arrived a time for tying six sturdy and standing bulls to be tied to firmly fixed wooden polesticks on earth. The strong poles be preferebly made of devadar wood. These should be six some with twenty one clothings dressed up and arranged in in six rows firmly. The work force needed to be well trained and the hardening of the erectnes of the poles, tying the clothings and their presentable uniformity of cloth, colour and design pattern. The poles should be 504 inches height with eight angled each and the overall presentability be smoothening to the objective looks. The designed and colored clothing on the polls be scented with 'pushpa chandanas' in worship and looked up in an areal mannerwould look awesome to the celestials above. Now, the bricks arranged on the yaginavedi were sprinkled with mantras by brahmana panditas and placed inside the 'agni kunda' by the King. The emerging 'Agni jvaalaas' gradually pick up speed and wide spread by way of convection, conduction and radiation in eighteen directions. Further, the polls as arranged are stated to bundle up with tree hundred each of pashu-pakshi-sarpas as having been under the control of various Devas and thus get subdued. Meanwhile, Patta Mahishi or the Prime Queen Devi Koushalya already seated with the King would be requested to sprinkle sacred waters on the Horses for the sacrifice as also on the three swords of length and sharpness and touch them. Then she would spend the entire night beside the sacrifitial horses at the 'Ashva shaala' voluntarily in the name and glory of 'dharma'. Then Hotaardharvyustathathod graataa hastena samayojayan, mahishyaa parivritthhaaya vaavaataamparaam tathaa/ Subsequently, the priests named hota-adharvyu and Udgaataa joined their hands together on the sacrificilal horse.

<u>Vishneshana on the Ritviks of Yagjna:</u> The main priests of Yagjna Karyas are the <u>Hota</u> who recites the invocations especially of Rigveda; <u>Athavyu</u> is responsible for the physical and material details of the yagjna and an erudite of Yajurveda; Udgaata is the chief chanter of the suktas and specialist Saama Gaana and responsible for pressing the Soma juice. Besides these are Brahmanas as <u>Agneedhi</u> and <u>Prashastar</u>, <u>besides Purohita of course</u>. Thereafter, the private part of the Horse for the Sacrifice is burnt and the specified body parts of the animal are sacrificed in the flames of Agni Deva along with the recitation of the relevant chants in chorus. As per the <u>Kalpa Sutra</u>, the duration of Ashvameda yagjna comprises three phases; on the first day the phase comprises Chatushtoma or <u>Agnishtoma</u>. The second phase on the following day is called <u>Ukthya</u> and third phase in the final day is named <u>Atiraatra</u>. *Jyitishthomaayusheechaiva atiraatrou cha nirmitou, abhijid vishv ajit chaivamaaptoryaamou maha kratuh*/

Maha Kratus are considered as Jyotishthoma, Aayush homa, Ari raatraas twice over, Abhijit the fifth, Vishvajit the sixth, Aaptyoryaamas as the Maha Kratu as the substitutes in times thereafter the relevance of Ashvamedha Yajgna. After the successful execution of the Ashvamedha Yagjna, King Dasharatha donated away the eastern part of Ayodhya to the Hota, the northen portion to Udgaata, the southern part to Brahma and thus his empire. Then, the Rikvikas stated that instead of giving away the territiries of the land, the King be pleased to donate them: Maniratnam suvarnam vaa gaavo yadvaa samudyatam, tat prayacchha nrip shreshtha dharanyaa na prayojanam/ Narashreshtha! You might as well donate to us Mani- Ratna-Suvanas or Cows and such precious materials and what avail could be the territories of land to us! Then Dashartha entrusted the task of distribution of ten lakh cows, crores of gold mudras and four time more of silver mudras for distribution. The totality of the Brahman hood then blessed the unique King who had successfully perfomed the Maha Yagjna stating: Bhavishyanti sutaa

raajaschatvaaraste kulodvaahah/ You should be blessed with foursome capable sons of everlasting virtue and glory!

Sarga Fifteen

Medhāvī tu tato dhyātvā sa kim cid idam uttamam, labdhasamjñas tatas tam tu vedajño nrpam abravīt iştim te 'ham karişyāmi putrīyām putrakāraṇāt, atharvaśirasi proktair mantraih siddhām vidhānatah/ tatah prākramad iṣṭim tām putrīyām putra kāraṇāt, juhāva cāgnau tejasvī mantradṛṣṭena karmanā/ tato devāh sagandharvāh siddhāś ca paramarsavah, bhāgapratigrahārtham vai samavetā vathāvidhi/ tāh sametva vathānyāvam tasmin sadasi devatāh, abruvaml lokakartāram brahmāṇam vacanam mahat/ bhagavams tvatprasādena rāvano nāma rāksasah, sarvānno bādhate vīryāc chāsitum tam na śaknumah/ tvayā tasmai varo dattah prītena bhagavan purā, mānayantas ca tam nityam sarvam tasya ksamāmahe/ udvejayati lokāms trīn ucchritān dvesti durmatih, śakram tridaśarājānam pradharsayitum icchati/ ṛsīn yakṣān sagandharvān asurān brāhmaṇāms tathā, atikrāmati durdharṣo varadānena mohitah/ nainam sūryaḥ pratapati pārśve vāti na mārutaḥ, calormimālī tam dṛṣṭvā samudro 'pi na kampate/ tan manan no bhayam tasmād rāksasād ghoradarśanāt, vadhārtham tasya bhagayann upāyam kartum arhasi/ eyam uktah suraih sarvaiś cintavityā tato 'bravīt, hantāyam vihitas tasya yadhopāyo durātmanah/ tena gandharvayakṣāṇāṁ devadānavarakṣasām, avadhyo 'smīti vāg uktā tathety uktaṁ ca tan mayā/ nākīrtayad avajñānāt tad rakso mānusāms tadā, tasmāt sa mānusād vadhyo mṛtur nānyo 'sya vidyate' etac chrutvā priyam vākyam brahmanā samudāhṛtam, devā maharsayah sarve prahṛstās te 'bhavams tadā/ etasminn antare viṣṇur upayāto mahādyutih, brahmaṇā ca samāgamya tatra tasthau samāhitah/ tam abruvan surāḥ sarve samabhiṣṭūya samnatāḥ,tvām niyokṣyāmahe viṣṇo lokānām hitakāmyayā/ rājño daśarathasya tvam ayodhyādhipater vibho, dharmajñasya vadānyasya maharşisamatejasaḥ, tasya bhāryāsu tisṛṣu hrīśrīkīrtyupamāsu ca, viṣṇo putratvam āgaccha kṛtvātmānam caturvidham/ tatra tvam mānuşo bhūtvā pravṛddham lokakanṭakam, avadhyam daivatair viṣṇo samare jahi rāvaṇam/ sa hi devān sagandharvān siddhām's ca rsisattamān, rāksaso rāvano mūrkho vīryotsekena bādhate/ tad uddhatam rāvanam ṛddhatejasam; pravṛddhadarpam tridaśeśvaradvisam, virāvanam sādhu tapasvikantakam; tapasvinām uddhara tam bhayāvaham/

Having sucssessfully executed the Ashvamedha, Maharshi Rishyashringa expressed his wish to organise **Putra Kamekshi Yagna** for the King's favor as per atharva veda mantras. Accordingly ahutis in agni were initiated invoking Deva-Siddha- Gandharvas and they responded positively and accepted their respective portions of 'havish anna' to their contentment.

[Vishleshana on Putra Kameshthi Yagjna vide 'Dharma Sindhu': Putra Kaameshti Yagna: Agni-Homaas aiming at the birth of a son. On the sixth day after the menses of his wife, the Karta as 'Sa Bharya' settles after Abhyangana and Pranayaamas and intiates Sankalpa of Putra Kaamah Putra Kaameshthim karishye followed by Swasti Vaachanaas, Naandi Shraaddha and Agni Pratishtha initiated with the Mantra: Chakshuhi Aajyenaatra pradhaanam, Agnim Pancha Vaaram Varunam Pancha Vaaram Vishnum Prithivim Vishnum Somam Suryaa Saaitreem paayasena sheshena swishta kritam/ ie. by the Aajyaas or offerings of 'Payasa' to the Main Agni five times, to Varuna five times and to Vishnu Prithivi, Vishnu Soma, Surya and Savitri and perform Swishta kruta and so on. During the 'nirvapapana' or the interval/ inactive time, silently cook 'charu' (ghee, milk of white cow with white calf and grains) and place sixty fistfulls of Rupaas at the Yaajya bhaaga and make Pancha dashaahutis (fifteen oblations) to Agni with the following Mantras: Om Aatey Garbho yonimaitu punaanbaana ivaishudhim, Aaveero jaayataam putrastey dashamaasyah swaahaa/ Agnaya idam namah/Karomitey praajaapatyamaa garbho yonimaitutey, Anunah putro jaayataamashlono pishaacha dheeta swaahaa/ Agnim idam namah/Pumaamstey putro naastim pumaananujaayataam, Taani bhadraani beejaanrushabha jayantunou

swaaha/ Idam namah/ Agnayah/Yaani bhadraani beejaanrushabhaa janayantinah, Taistwam putraanvidaswa saa prasudhenukaa bhava swaahaa/ Agnayah idamnamah/Kaamahssamrudbhyataam mahdyamaparaajitameva mey, Yam kaamam kaamaye Devatam me vaayo samarthaya swaahaa /Agnayam idam namah/Agniraitu prathamo Devataanaam Sosyai Prajaam munchatu Mrityu paashaat, Tadayam Raajaa Varunonumayataam yatheyam Streepoutramagham na rodaatswaahaa/ Varunaayedam/Imaamagnistraayataam Gaarhapatyah Prajaamasyai nayatu deerghamaayuh, Ashunyopasthaa jeevataasmatu Maataa poutra maanandamabhi prabuddhyataamiyam swaahaa/ Varunaayedam/Maatey gruhe nishi ghosha uttaadanyatra twadyabhyutyah samvishantu, Maatwam vikeshyura Aavadhishtaa jeevapatni Patilokey, Viraaja pashyanti Prajaah sumanasyamaanaa swaahaa/ Varunayedam/Aprajastaam poutra mrityum paapmaanamrutamaagham, Sheershanah srajamivonmuchyadvisha dabhayah pratimunchami paasham swaahaa/ Varunayedam /Devakrutam Brahmanam kalpamaanam tena hanmiyonishadah pishaachaan/ Kravyaado mrityuna gharaanpaatayaami deerghaayustwa jeevantu putraah swaahaa/ Varunaayedam/Nejamesheti tisrunaam Vishnustwashtaa garbha kartaa Vishnu prithiviVishnuyonanushthup, Nneja mesham, Vishnuva, yatheyam prithivi, prithivya yishnu sreshthena, vishnuva, Somo dhenum Raahugano Gautamah Somastrishthup/ Somo dhenum, Somayedam, Ttaam Pushan Suryaa Saavitri trishthup, Paayasa charu homeyvi, Taam Pushacchiva/ (Thus Fifteen Homaas are required to be done with the above detailed Mula Mantraas viz: Aatey garbho-- Karomi tey-Pumaastey Putro-Yaani bhadraani- Kaamah samudbhavataam-Agniretu-Imaamagnisrtaayataam-Maa tey gruhye-Aprajastaam-Deva kutam Braahmanam-Nejamesha-Yatheyam Prithivi- Vishno sreshthena-Somam dhenu-Taam Pushan- Taam Pushacchiva). After the Aahutis, Swishtakruta homa etc. are performed and the Bharta should touch the Patni's 'naabhi' and complete the Putra Kameshti with Go daana and Bhojana Dakshinaas to Brahmanas as they sleep in the night on darbha mats on the ground.]

Even as the celestials were collected in the yagina shala without being seen and noticed by humans, they had collectively made an appeal to Brahma Deva that on the earth itself there was a 'maha rakshasa' named Ravanasura who had been continuouly tormenting them all and soon they were reaching a no return point of his harrassment. The sins of Rayana had even reached a stage of defeating Indra Deva who was even about to be dethroned. Ravanasura was earlier blessed by Brahma and it was on that strength of boons granted by him, Ravana had since become invincible in trilokas! Nainam Suryam pratapati paarshve vaati na Maarutah chalormimaalee tan drushtvaa samudropi na kampate/ Ravanasura was such that Surya Deva could not radiate and burn off Ravana, nor Vayu Deva blow him down and let alone Samudra Deva would get terrified into submission out of fear That Rayana Rakshasa looked fierce, ruthless, and merciless. Brahma Deva! we all seek your refuge, shelter and a way out to rid of this Rakshasa! Then Brahma too became too pensive and on his mental screen of thoughts argued within himself and realised that when Ravana asked for the boon of invincibility he mentioned that he should not be killed by gandharva-yaksha- devatas or even by co- rakshasaas even, but he omitted human beings probably by his arrogance and ego! Brahma now declared that only a human being could bring up Rayana's death! Having heard this outstanding suggestion from Brahma, Deva- Gandharva - Yaksha-Maharshis became thrilled with joy and made a frantic headway to Maha Vishnu seated far above the clouds with the radiance of Surya Deva riding comfortably on Garuda Deva dressed in 'peetaambara' or yellowish robes with four hands sparkling shankha-chakra-gada-sharanga while his shoulders were bright with golden 'keyuras'. The entirety of Devas prostrated before Him with veneration and said in one voice: 'Deva Deva the Omni Present! You are shouldering the heavy responsibility of preserving the Universe and its Subjects! King Dasharatha is a dharmagina and a renowned benevolence of Ayodhya; he has three queens bestowed with 'hree-shri-keerti'. Our collective appeal to you would be to bless them as their sons with your 'amshas', as the Mahasura Ravana had been tormenting Trilokas and your 'avataara' or incarnation as a 'manava' could most certainly destroy evil and vindicate Dharma and Nyaaya for ever in a battle. Bhagavan! This Rakshasa Ravana has come to establish himself as an invincible and ruthless warrior against Deva-Gandharva-Siddha- Maharshis and only you and you alone could save us and reestablish the principles of virtue and justice. Indeed this is our unanimous and ultimate request out of

sheer spirit of survival and safety as you are our ultimate refuge! Maha Vishnu replied: *Bhayam tyajat bhadram vo hitaartham yudhi raavanam, suputra poutram saamaatyam samitra jnaatik baandhavam/ Hatvaa kruram Dashratham Devarshinaam bhayaavaham/ Dashavarsha sahasraani dashavarshaani - cha,vatsyaami maanushe loke paalayhan prithiveemimaam/ Deva Gana! May you all be blessed with tidings of auspiciousness and relief from fear. The totality of Ravana Kingdom including him, his sons and grand sons, sinful relatives, ministers and associates should be uprooted in one go battle and my incarnation as Rama should reestablish virtue and justice during my tenure as of eleven thousand years on earth! At the sametime, Maha Vishnu appeared before King Dasharatha who was stand - still in a joyus stupor! Deva, Rishi gana, Gadharva-Ekaadasha Rudras and Apsaras were relieved and taken to a non stop greetings of relief and excitement.*

Sarga Sixteen

Tato nārāyano viṣṇur niyuktaḥ surasattamaiḥ, jānann api surān evam ślakṣṇam vacanam abravī/ upāyaḥ ko vadhe tasya rākṣasādhipateḥ surāḥ, yam aham tam samāsthāya nihanyām ṛṣikaṇṭakam/ evam uktāḥ surāh sarve pratyūcur visnum avyayam, mānusīm tanum āsthāya rāyanam jahi samyuge/ sa hi tepe tapas tīvram dīrghakālam arimdama, yena tusto 'bhavad brahmā lokakṛl lokapūjitah' samtustah pradadau tasmai rākşasāya varam prabhuh, nānāvidhebhyo bhūtebhyo bhayam nānyatra mānuṣāt/ avajñātāḥ purā tena varadānena mānavāḥ, tasmāt tasya vadho dṛṣṭo mānuṣebhyaḥ paramtapa/ ity etad vacanam śrutvā surāṇām viṣṇur ātmavān, pitaram rocayām āsa tadā daśaratham nṛpam/ sa cāpy aputro nṛpatis tasmin kāle mahādyutih, ayajat putriyām istim putrepsur arisūdanah/ tato vai yajamānasya pāvakād atulaprabham, prādurbhūtam mahad bhūtam mahāvīryam mahābalam/ kṛṣnam raktāmbaradharam raktāsyam dundubhisvanam, snigdhaharyaksatanujasmasrupravaramūrdhajam/ śubhalaksanasampannam divyābharanabhūsitam, śailaśrṅgasamutsedham drptaśārdūlavikramam/ divākarasamākāram dīptānalasikhopamam, taptajāmbūnadamayīm rājatāntaparicchadām/ divvapāvasasampūrnām pātrīm patnīm iva privām, pragrhva vipulām dorbhvām svavam māvāmavīm iva/ samavekşyābravīd vākyam idam daśaratham nṛpam, prājāpatyam naram viddhi mām ihābhyāgatam nṛpa/ tataḥ param tadā rājā pratyuvāca kṛtāñjaliḥ, bhagavan svāgatam te 'stu kim aham karavāṇi te/ atho punar idam vākyam prājāpatyo naro 'bravīt, rājann arcayatā devān adya prāptam idam tvayā/ idam tu naraśārdūla pāyasam devanirmitam, prajākaram grhāņa tvam dhanyam ārogyavardhanam/ bhāryānām anurūpānām aśnīteti prayaccha vai, tāsu tvam lapsyase putrān yadartham yajase nrpa/ tatheti nrpatih prītah śirasā pratigrhyatām, pātrīm devānnasampūrnām devadattām hiranmayīm/ abhivādya ca tad bhūtam adbhutam priyadarśanam, mudā paramayā yuktaś cakārābhipradakṣiṇam/ tato daśarathaḥ prāpya pāyasam devanirmitam, babhūva paramaprītaḥ prāpya vittam ivādhanah/ tatas tad adbhutaprakhyam bhūtam paramabhāsvaram, samvartayitvā tat karma tatraivāntaradhīyata/ harsaraśmibhir udvotam tasyāntahpuram ābabhau, śāradasyābhirāmasya candrasyeva nabho'mśubhih/ so 'ntaḥpuram praviśyaiva kausalyām idam abravīt, pāyasam pratigrhnīṣva putrīyam tv idam ātmanah/ a kausalyāyai narapatiḥ pāyasārdham dadau tadā, ardhād ardham dadau cāpi sumitrāyai narādhipaḥ/ kaikeyyai cāvaśistārdham dadau putrārthakāranāt, pradadau cāvaśistārdham pāyasasyāmrtopamam/ anucintya sumitrāyai punar eva mahīpatiḥ, evam tāsām dadau rājā bhāryāṇām pāyasam pṛthak/ tās tv etat pāyasam prāpya narendrasyottamāh striyah, sammānam menire sarvāh praharsoditacetasah/Upaayah ko vadhe tasya rakshasaadhipateh siraah, yamaham tam samaasyaaya nihanyaamrishi kantakam/ Ekamuktaah Suraah sarve pratyuchirvishnumavyayam, maanusham rupamaasthaaya Raayanam jahi samyuge/

Devas headed by Indra Deva approached Lord Vishnu, the latter replied that only in human form that Ravanasuru could be destroyed. *Santushtam pradadou tasmai raakshasaaya varam prabhuh, naanaa vidhebhyo bhutebhya bhayam naanatra maanushaat*/ Brahma therefore replied happily that thus there woud not be any other encounter except by an Illustrious Human himself. As Narayana Himself assured that Rayana Vadha was imminent, Indra in turn addressed Devaadis in some detail that Maha Vishnu had

consented to assume human form as Lord Brahma explained earlier that Ravanusura could be destroyed only by Narayana in human form and as the son of King Dasharatha. In fact Dasharatha was performing Putra Kameshti Yagjna being anxious to beget sons at that time. The King was taken aback at the successful concluding phase of the Yagina, there emerged a Maha Purusha from the flames of the Agni Kunda with dazzling and gigantic black form robed in red brightness, with scintillating ornaments, as if Surya Deva had descended on earth and Agni Deva's own form got exhibited; his voice was thunderous and akin to earthshaking roars of groups of lions. He was carrying in both of his hands a huge lustrous golden vessel with a silveren lid; He addressed King Dasharatha to say: 'Take me as from the Prajapati as I am His representative.' King Dasharatha at once folded his hands stood still and shocked waiting for what the Huge Personality would instruct him Prajapati's message. The Maha Purusha stated that as the King had been a habitual follower of dharma and venerator of Devas, the latter had sent along with me as the representative of Prajapati a golden pot of 'Paayasa' or the cooked rice soaked in sweet milk for distribution to your queens as per the proportion of his own choice. King Dashrathatha prostrated and profusely thanked the Maha Purusha who disappeared instantly. kausalvāvai narapatih pāyasārdham dadau tadā, ardhād ardham dadau cāpi sumitrāvai narādhipah/ kaikevvai cāvaśistārdham dadau putrārthakāraṇāt, pradadau cāvaśiṣṭārdham pāyasasyāmrtopamam/ anucintya sumitrāyai punar eva mahīpatiḥ, evain tāsām dadau rājā bhāryāṇām pāyasam pṛthak/The highly elated Dasharatha walked in to the palace of the Queens and approached Devi Koushalya the Prime Queen and offered half of the Payasa to her. Of the remaing half, Dasharatha offered half to the second wife Devi Sumitra, Half of the remainder half was offered to the third Queen Kaikeyi. But still there was further remainder which was awarded to Devi Sumitra yet again. The queens were extremely delighted at the final outcome of the Putra Kameshthi Yagina, the grand appearance of thed Maha Purusha from the 'homaagni jyaalaas', his offer of the 'paayasa patra' to the King and the distribution of the paayasa as per king's own reckoning. The populace of the Kingdom were thrilled with joy too at the swift events in the kingdom starting off from the horse sarcifice to Putra kameshthi to the appearance of Maha Purusha from the flames, the entire episode therafter, now awaiting the arrival of Raja Kumaras!

Sarga Seventeen

Putratvam tu gate visnau rājñas tasva mahātmanah, uvāca devatāh sarvāh svayambhūr bhagavān idam/ satyasamdhasya vīrasya sarveṣām no hitaiṣiṇaḥ, viṣṇoḥ sahāyān balinaḥ sṛjadhvam kāmarūpiṇaḥ/ māyāvidas ca sūrāms ca vāyuvegasamānjave, nayajnān buddhisampannān viṣṇutulyaparākramān/ asamhārvān upāvaiñān divvasamhananānvitān, sarvāstragunasampannān amrtaprāsanān iva/ apsarahsu ca mukhyāsu gandharvīṇām tanūṣu ca, yakṣapannagakanyāsu rskavidyādharīsu ca/ kimnarīnām ca gātresu vānarīnām tanūşu ca, srjadhvam harirūpeņa putrāms tulyaparākramām/ te tathoktā bhagavatā tat pratiśrutya śāsanam, janayām āsur evam te putrān vānararūpinah, rsayaś ca mahātmānah siddhayidyādharoragāh, cāranāś ca sutān vīrān sasrjur vanacārinah/ te srstā bahusāhasrā daśagrīvavadhodvatāh,aprameyabalā vīrā vikrāntāh kāmarūpinah/te gajācalasaṃkāśā vapusmanto mahābalāh, rksavānaragopucchāh ksipram evābhijajñire/ vasva devasva vad rūpam veso vas ca parākramah, ajāyata samastena tasya tasya sutah prthak/ golāngūlīsu cotpannāh ke cit sammatavikramāh, rksīsu ca tathā jātā vānarāh kimnarīsu ca/ vicālayeyuh śailendrān bhedayeyuh sthirān drumān, ksobhayeyuś ca vegena samudram saritām patim/ dārayeyuh ksitim padbhyām āplayeyur mahārnayam, nabhastalam viševuš ca grhnīvur api tovadān/ grhnīvur api mātangān mattān prayrajato vane, nardamānāms ca nādena pātayeyur vihamgamān/īdrsānām prasūtāni harīnām kāmarūpinām, śatam śatasahasrāṇi yūthapānām mahātmanām, babhūvur yūthapaśreṣṭhā vīrāmś cājanayan harīn/ anye rksavatah prasthān upatasthuh sahasrasah, anye nānāvidhāñ sailān kānanāni ca bhejire/ sūryaputram ca sugrīvam śakraputram ca vālinam, bhrātarāv upatasthus te sarva eva harīśvarāh/ tair meghayrndācalatulyakāyair; mahābalair vānarayūthapālaih, babhūva bhūr bhīmaśarīrarūpaih; samāvṛtā rāmasahāyahetoh/

As Vishnu consented to give birth to King Dasharatha, Brahma Deva addressed Devaganas: Satyasamdhasya veerasya sarveshaam nohitaishinah, Vishnoh sahayataan balinah srijatvam kaamarupinah/ Mayavidasshashuuraaschaam vayuvega samaan jave, nayagjnaan buddhisampannaan Vishnu tulya paraakramaan./ Asahaayarnupayaginaan divyasamhananaanvitaan, sarvaastragunaa sampannaan amritapraashanaaniva/ Deva Gana! Bhagavan Vishnu being satya pratigina-Maha Veera and stands for our welfare, directed us that you should also create with your respective 'amshas' or characteristics as of body strength, ability to transform their bodies as huge-normal-minute as of animagarima and so on; mayashaalis or who could utilise their powers of maya or make belief; vayu samana vegashaalis; yet basically truthful to the core, buddhimaan or with great intellect; Vishnu tulya paraakramis or of brave warriors comparable to Maha Vishnu himself; of celestial bodies; and like Amritaahaaris such as Devas themselves. Most essentially, may the wombs of apsaras, and of female gandharvas, yakshas,kinnaras, and vidyadharas be filled up with innumerable Vanaras to make a formidable 'Vanara Sena'. Brahma also stated that he had aleady created Jambavan the invincible Bear formed Maha Veera. Then Devaraja Indra created Vanara Raja Vaali, Surya Deva manifested Sugriva; Brihaspati created Tara Devi: Kubera created Ganbdhamadana named yaanara: Vishvakarma the Deva Shilpi created Nala vaanara; Ashvini Kumaras created Mainda and Dvivida; Varuna created Sushena Vanara; Parjanya Deva created the brave Sharabha; Maarutasyou Shriman Hanuman naama Vaanarah, vajrasamhananopeto vainateya samo jave/Vayu Deva manifested Hanuman as his 'aourasa putra' from Devi Anjana whose body was of vajra and body speed was of Garuda! In this manner, thousands of the Vanara Sena was manifested by various Deva-Devis with the singular objective of destroying Ravanasura and his clan. They were all mighty with **Ashta Siddhis**.

[Vishleshana on Ashta Siddhis: or Supernatural Powers are <u>Anima</u> or the ability of miniaturising oneself; <u>Mahima</u> is turning one self giant like; <u>Laghima</u> is the capacity to get oneself unusually light; <u>Garima</u> is to make the Self too gross and heavy; <u>Prapti</u> is to achieve any kind of mental desire; <u>Prakamya</u> or providing fulfillment of other's wishes; <u>Vashitwa</u> or capacity to control any other Party; <u>Ishitwa</u> or fully dominating over others as wished. Among many other Siddhis include <u>Para Kaaya Pravesha</u> or totally entering other's body and even Soul; <u>Doora Shravana</u> or distant hearing, <u>Doora Darshana</u> or Distant Vision or ability to see things or actions any where from other places; <u>Manojavam</u> or reaching a place as fast as a thought as also thought reading; <u>Kamarupa</u> or assuming the physical form of another Being-be it a moving species or an immobile like a mountain etc; <u>Swacchanda Maranam</u> or the gift to die at one's own wish; <u>Deva Saha Kreeda Anudarshanam</u> or the gift to view Deva Devis playing among themselves; <u>Yatha Sankalpa Siddhi</u> or accomplishing any thing by a mere thought; and so on.]

Riksheeshu cha tathaa jaataa vaanaraah kinnareeshucha, Devaa Maharshi Gandharvaastaarkshayaa yashashvinah/ Naagaah Kimpurushaaschaiva Siddha vidyaadharoragaa, bahavoh janayaanaa suhrishtaastra sahasrashah/ Some of the monkeys of the classification of apes were born of human or kinnaraas. Likewise Devatas-Maharshis- Gandharvaas-Garudas- Yakshaas-Naagaas-Kimpurushas-Siddhas- Vidyadharaas-had all created thousand sons of strength and decisiveness. Quite a few of Vanaras were of the strength and grit of tigers and lions. Some could slice off the mountain cliffs even with their hand nails or bite off trees with their strong teeth. Some could create havoc to rivers and even seas or have the strength to trample their feet and dig up deep trenches on earth. Without exaggeration, some of the Vanaras could fly high and pierce through thick black clouds and enen hold them with their hands and feet. Some of these vaanaraas who were born and brought up were present in thick and long jungles or on mountain tops and mostly the followere of either of the Vaanara King brothers of Vaali or

Sugreeva. Of the respective Vaanara Kings, Surya putram cha Sugreevam Shakraputramscha Vaalinam/ Vaali was of the 'amsha' of Indra and Sugreeva was of the origin of Surya Deva. Further, Maha Vanaras named Nala- Neela and Hanuman were like wise the followers of the respective kings essentially. Tair megkavrindaachalakuta samnibhair maha balairvaanarayudhaadhipaih, bhabhuva bhurbheema shareera rupaih, samaavritaa Ramasahaayahetou/Such Vanara yodhaas equivalent of the fame of high clouds and of mounrain tops were collected as already born and brought up awaiting service to Shi Rama!

Sarga Eighteen

Nirvṛtte tu kratau tasmin hayamedhe mahātmanaḥ,pratigṛhya surā bhāgān pratijagmur yathāgatam/ samāptadīksāniyamah patnīganasamanvitah, praviveša purīm rājā sabhrtyabalavāhanah/ yathārham pūjitās tena rājñā vai pṛthivīśvarāh, muditāh prayayur deśān pranamya munipumgavam/ gatesu pṛthivīśeṣu rājā daśarathaḥ punaḥ,praviveśa purīm śrīmān puraskṛtya dvijottamān/ śāntayā prayayau sārdham rsyasrngah supūjitah, anvīyamāno rājñātha sānuyātrena dhīmatā./ kausalyājanayad rāmam divvalaksanasamyutam, visnor ardham mahābhāgam putram iksvākunandanam/ kausalvā śuśubhe tena putreņāmitatejasā, yathā vareņa devānām aditir vajrapāņinā/ bharato nāma kaikeyyām jajñe satyaparākramah, sākṣād viṣṇoś caturbhāgah sarvaih samudito guṇaih/ atha lakṣmaṇaśatrughnau sumitrājanayat sutau, vīrau sarvāstrakuśalau visnor ardhasamanvitau/ rājñah putrā mahātmānaś catvāro jajñire pṛthak, guṇavanto 'nurūpāś ca rucyā proṣṭhapadopamāḥ/ atītyaikādaśāham tu nāma karma tathākarot, jyestham rāmam mahātmānam bharatam kaikayīsutam/ saumitrim laksmanam iti śatrughnam aparam tathā, vasisthah paramaprīto nāmāni kṛtavāms tadā, tesām janmakriyādīni sarvakarmāny akārayat/ tesām ketur iva jyestho rāmo ratikarah pituh, babhūva bhūvo bhūtānām svayambhūr iva sammataḥ/ sarve vedavidaḥ śūrāḥ sarve lokahite ratāḥ, sarve jñānopasampannāḥ sarve samuditā guṇaiḥ/ teṣām api mahātejā rāmaḥ satyaparākramaḥ, bālyāt prabhṛti susnigdho lakṣmaṇo lakṣmivardhanaḥ/ rāmasya lokarāmasya bhrātur įvesthasya nityaśah, sarvapriyakaras tasya rāmasyāpi śarīratah/ laksmano lakşmisampanno bahihprāṇa ivāparaḥ, na ca tena vinā nidrām labhate puruṣottamaḥ, mṛṣṭam annam upānītam aśnāti na hi tam vinā/ yadā hi hayam ārūḍho mṛgayām yāti rāghavaḥ, tadainam pṛṣṭhato 'bhyeti sadhanuh paripālayan/ bharatasyāpi śatrughno laksmanāvarajo hi sah, prānaih priyataro nityam tasya cāsīt tathā priyah/ sa caturbhir mahābhāgaih putrair daśarathah priyaih, babhūva paramaprīto devair iva pitāmahah/ te yadā jñānasampannāh sarve samuditā guņaih, hrīmantah kīrtimantaś ca sarvajñā dīrghadarśinaḥ/ atha rājā daśarathas teṣām dārakriyām prati, cintayām āsa dharmātmā sopādhyāyaḥ sabāndhavaḥ/ tasya cintayamānasya mantrimadhye mahātmanaḥ, abhyāgacchan mahātejo viśvāmitro mahāmunih/sa rājño darśanākāṅkṣī dvārādhyakṣān uvāca ha, śīghram ākhyāta māṁ prāptaṁ kauśikam gādhinaḥ sutam/ tac chrutvā vacanam tasya rājaveśma pradudruvuḥ, sambhrāntamanasaḥ sarve tena vākyena coditāh/ te gatvā rājabhavanam viśvāmitram rsim tadā, prāptam āvedayām āsur nrpāveksvākave tadā/ tesām tad vacanam śrutvā sapurodhāh samāhitah, pratyujjagāma samhṛsto brahmāṇam iva vāsavaḥ/ sa dṛṣṭvā jvalitam dīptyā tāpasam samsitavratam, prahṛṣṭavadano rājā tato 'rghyam upahārayat/ sa rājñaḥ pratigṛhyārghyam śāstradṛṣṭtena karmaṇā, kuśalam cāvyayam caiva paryapṛcchan narādhipam/ vasiṣṭham ca samāgamya kuśalam munipumgavah, ṛṣīmś ca tān vathā nyāyam mahābhāgān uvāca ha/ te sarve hrstamanasas tasya rājño niveśanam, viviśuh pūjitās tatra niṣeduś ca yathārthataḥ/ atha hṛṣṭamanā rājā viśvāmitram mahāmunim, uvāca paramodāro hṛṣṭas tam abhipūjayan/ yathāmrtasya samprāptir yathā varsam anūdake, yathā sadršadāresu putrajanmāprajasya ca, pranastasya yathā lābho yathā harso mahodaye, tathaivāgamanam manye svāgatam te mahāmune/ kam ca te paramam kāmam karomi kim u harsitah, pātrabhūto 'si me vipra distyā prāpto 'si dhārmika, adva me saphalam janma jīvitam ca sujīvitam/ pūrvam rājarsisabdena tapasā dyotitaprabhah, brahmarşitvam anuprāptah pūjyo 'si bahudhā mayā/ tad adbhutam idam vipra pavitram paramam mama, śubhakşetragataś cāham tava samdarśanāt prabho/ brūhi yat prārthitam tubhyam kāryam āgamanam prati, icchāmy anugrhīto 'ham tyadarthapariyrddhaye' kāryasya na vimarsam ca gantum arhasi

kauśika,kartā cāham aśesena daivatam hi bhavān mama/ iti hrdayasukham niśamya vākyam; śrutisukham ātmavatā vinītam uktam, prathitagunavaśā gunair viśistah; parama rsih paramam jagāma harsam/ King Dasharatha having respectfully sent off with gifts and blessings from Rishyashringaadi Maharshis, Co-Kings and Well Wishers, proceeded from the Yagna Shaala to Ayodhya with great contentment and joy and awaited the arrival of the sons. Tato yagine samaapte tu ritaanaam shad samatyuuh, tascha dvaadashe maase chaitre naavamike tithou/ Nakshatreditidaitavatye svocchhasamstheshu panchasu, graheshu karkata lagne yaakpataa yindunaa saha/ Prodyumaane Jagannaatham sarya loka namaskritam, Kousalyaajanayad Raamam divya lakshana samyutam/After the completion of the Yagjna, six rithus had passed and after a year on Chaitra Shukla Paksha Navami tithi of Punarvasu Nakshatra in the Karka Lagna, Devi Kousalya was blessed with a celestial boy- Shri Rama- who was greeted by Trilokas; that was the precise and most auspicious time when five grahas viz. Surya-Mangala-Shani-Guru and Shukra were in their own respective nativities of elevations, while chandra accompanied by Brihaspati were in the position of 'lagna'. Vishnortha mahaabhagam putramaikshvaakunandanam, lohitaaksham maha baahum raktoshtham dinubhisvanam/ This boy to be named as Shri Rama was born out of one half of the 'amritaanna paayasa' of what the Celestial Messenger of Prajapati Deva handed over to King Dasharatha and the consequent boy as the insignia of the joy of Ikshvaaku Vamsha just born was of bright looks of rose flower, red lips, broad shoulders and of profound and reveberating voice! Devi Kousalya was so blissful just as at the same manner when Devi Aditi delivered Indra Deva. Bharatou naama Kaikeyyaam jagne satyaparaakramah, saakshaad Vishnorchaturbhaagah savaih samudito gunah/Then followed the birth of Bharata the 'satya parakrama' who was born of half of the second half of the remainder of the 'paayasa' as on the form of Vishnu himself with 'samudita guna' or of all ideal features. Atha Lakshmana Shatrughnou Sumitraa janayat sutou, veero sarvaastra kushalou vishnorthasamanvitau/ Then followed the birth of twin brothers to be named Lakshmana-Shatrughnas who were generated by the remainder of of the 'amrita paayasa' as they were 'veerou sarvaastra kushalou' or as of outstanding intrepedity and expertise as the master arrows men. Bharata was of cool and steadfast temperament always, as having been born in Pushya Nakshatra in Meena Lagna. Devi Sumitra's twin sons to be named as Lakshmana and Shatrughna were born in Ashlesha Nakshatra- Karka Lagna when Surya was in 'ucchha sthaana' or of elevation. King Dasharatha's four sons of glory were thus of lasting eminence as were born of the stars of Bhadrapada viz. Purvabhaadra and Uttaraabhaadra as being renowned in Jyotisha Shastra.

[Vishleshana on Nakshatra Phala (Star-wise birth results):Readings as per Nakshatra (Star)-wise birth of various human beings were narrated by Sanandana Maharshi to Narada Muni as follows: Those born in Ashwini are handsome and fond of wearing ornaments. Bharani-born are capable to perform and speak truthfully. Krittika-born tends to eatless, steady-minded, and conversational but have soft corner for other women. Rohini born are wealthy, Mrigashitaites are luxurious; Ardra-born violent, stubborn and criminal-minded; Punarvasu born are even-minded, and well behaved but suffer bad health; Persons born in Pushya Nakshatra are imaginative like Poets and are happy-go-lucky. Those persons who are born in Aslesha are rude, obstinate, ungrateful, low-minded and uncouth. Magha born are rich, devoted and happy. If born in Purva Phalguni, the persons are charitable, adjustable, sociable and conversationalists. Born of Uttara Phalguni are wealthy and comfortable. Hasta born are shameless, mean-minded and crooks. Persons born in Chitra are well dressed, beautiful and charming. Swati born are virtuous, moralistic, kind hearted and charitable. Vishakhaites are greedy, deceptive, cunning and harsh. Born of Anuradha, the persons are fond of travel and non-resident. Jyeshtha born are principled and contented. Persons born in Mula Nakshatra are wealthy, happy and helpful. If born of Purvashadha

and Uttarashadha, the persons concerned are happy- go- lucky and hearty /disciplined and virtuous respectively. Shravanites are rich, happy and famous; while born of Dhanishta, the persons concerned are donors, wealthy and courageous. A person born of Shatabhisha, the persons win over opponents but are susceptible of bad practices. Born of Purvabhadra, the persons concerned are heavily prone to feminine influence and rich; while Uttrabhadraites are independent, assertive, speech-makers, attractive and joyful. Finally, those born in Revati are energetic, enterprising, rich and pure-hearted.

Meshaadi Chandra Raashi Janma Phala: Those born in Mesha Raashi are passionate, enterprising and grateful; Vrisha Raasi: Charming, charity-minded and tolerant; Mithun Raashai: Comfort-loving and diplomatic; Karka Raashi: Controlled by opposite sex and short statured; Simha Raashi: Egoistic, enterprising, stable-minded and comfort-oriented; Kanya Raashi: Soft-natured, virtuous and well-meaning; Tula Raashi: Learned, broad-minded and wealthy; Vrischika Raashi: Loka Pujya, unhealthy and injury-prone; Dhanu Raashi: Poets, Architects, Artistic and wealthy; Makara Raashi: Unenthusiastic to perform, wasteful, vagabond but attractive; Kumbha Raashi: Desirous of possesing 'Para Stree' and 'Para Dhan'; and Meena Raashi: Artistic, dreamy and easy-loving.] Source: Narada Purana

Jaguh kalam cha Gandharvaa narnutuschaapsaroganaah, deva dundhubhyo neduh pushpavrishtischa ravaat patam/ Utsavascha mahaanaaseedayodhyayaam janaakuah, rathaascha jana sambadhaa nata nartaka samkulaah/ Gaayanaischa viraavinyo vaadanaischa tathaaparaih, virejurvipulaastatra sarva ratna samanvitaah/ Soon after the auspicious of the foursome births at Ayodhya, Gandharas sang sonorously and Apsaras danced away with elation, Devatas sounded dudhubhis or drums of joy and the high skies were filled with floral showers. Celebrations broke out across the kingdom as the public got thronged in heavy crowds in the lanes and byelanes as well as high roads in feverish enthusiasm and passionate gusto of celebrations, as street dances and singings. King Dasharatha had liberally given away dhana-dhanya-pashus along with gold and jewellery to the royals and the public alike. After twelve days therafter the births of the Raja Kumaras, on the lines of the kshatriya sampradaaya, the names of the boys were declared; Ateetyakaadashaah tu naama karmam tathaakarot, jyeshtham Ramam mahatmaanam Bharatam Kaikeyee sutam/ Soumitreem Lakshmanaamiti Shatrughnam param tathaa, Vasishthah parama preeto naamaani kurute tadaa/ Following the day of birth, on the eleventh day the 'naama karan a samskara' was duly executed. Vasishtha Maharshi named the eldest boy as Rama, the son of Devi Koushalya, the next boy as Bharata the son of Devi Kaikeyi, and the twins born to Devi Sumitra as Lakshmana and Shatrughna.

Visleshana on Naama karana vide Dharma Sindhu:

Nama karana: On the eleventh or twelfth day of the child's birth, Namakarana is required to be performed. Some say that although 'Ashoucha' continues upto the tenth day of the birth, Nama Karana might as well be performed on that day itself. To Kshatriyas this function needs to be done on the thirteenth or the sixteenth day; to Vaishyas on the sixteenth or the twentieth day and to Shudras on twenty second or the month-end. However, in the 'Mukhya Kaala' on the birthday of the child, it is stated that there is no deed for specially ascertaining the Punya Tithi Nakshatraas for the Nama karana if done on the 'Mukhya Kaala' or the day of the birth although the Gouna Kala or the time of birth would need be examined from the angle of Yoga since one should avoid the Vaidhruti-Vyateepaata Sankranti Grahanas, Amavasya etc. If not possible to perform the Namakarana in the Mukhya kaala, then the Propitious timings are on Tithis barring Chaturthi, Shashthi, Ashtami, Navami, Dwadashi, Chaturdashi and Purnima; Soma, Bhdha, Guru and Shukra Vaaraas are suitable; Ashwini, Uttara, Uttaraashaadha, Uttaraabhadra, Rohini, Mrigasirsha, Punarvasu, Pushya, Hasta, Swaati, Anuraadha, Shravana,

Dhanishtha, Shatabhisha and Revati are good; Vrishabha, Simha and Vrischika Lagnaas are good. Now there could be four kinds of names that are ascribed to a child: Devataa naamaas are as per Ishta Devas; second alternative is on the basis of Maasaas as illustrated as follows: Chaitraadi maasa naaaani Vaikunthodha Janardanah Upendro Yagna Purusho Vaasudevastathaa Harih Yogishah Pundarikaakshah Krishnonantochyuta stathaa Chakreeti Dwaadashaitaani Naamaani kramaadaahurmaniishinah/ (All these names are on the basis of Chandramaana). The third criterion is as per Nakshatraasas in : Ashvayuk, Aapabharanah, Kartikah, Rouhinah, Margasirshah, Ardrakah, Punarvasu, Tishyah, Aasleshah, Maghah, Purvaaphalgunah, Uttaraaphagunah, Hastah, Chaitrah, Swaatihi, Vashaakhah, Anuraadhah, Jyaishthah, Moolakah, Purvaashaadhah, Uttaraashaadhah, Abhijitah, Shraavanah, Shravishthah, Shata bhishak, Pooravaa – Proushtha paadah, Utaraa proushthakpadah, and Raivatah/ As per Jyotisha Grandhaas the names could be on the lines of 'chu-che-cho-la Ashwiniproktaa'' like Chelesha, Cholesha or Lakshmana starting with the name of the Nakshatra.But Shrouta Granhaas are not in agreement to this method. Shaankhaayanaas follow the method of naming the boys on the basis for Nakshatra in another way: like those born in Krittika are named as Agni Sharma. The four method is of Vyaavahaarika use or socialised version. For boys the name might contain 'Samaakshara' or of even number like of the second, fourth, six letters and for girls odd-number names. Normally the words like Sharma-Shastri are suffixed to Brahmana boys or Varmas in the case of Kshartiyas, Guptaas in reference to Vaishyas and Daasaa for Shudras. Even if the earlier Samskaaraas like Garbhaa dhaana, Pumsavana, Seemanta, Paada Kruccha, Artha Krucchaadi were not performed earlier, the 'parihaara prayaschitta homas' and 'pratyaamnaaya daanaas' be executed and make the Sankalpa of Namakarana vidhaana: Asya Kumaarasyaayurabhi vriddhi dwaaraa vyavahaara siddhi beeja garbha samudbhavaino nibarhana dwaaraa Shri Parameshwara preetyartham Naama karmka cha tantrena karishye/--Then the Swasti Vaachanaas would be recited: Jaatakarma naama karmanoh Punyaaham bhavanto bruvantu/--Asya Kumarasya Jaata karmaney yetannaamney cha Swasti bhavanto bruvantu/ Then Brahmanas would write down on rice grains in a silver plate the Vyavaharika Naama of the son which the father would announce to the invitees audibly and clearly followed by other formalities including Mangala Geetas, Brahmana Dakshinas and Bhojanaas.]

Teshaam janmakriyaadeebi sarva karmaanya kaarayat, teshaam keturiva jyeshtho Ramo ritikarah pituh/Maharshi Vasishtha had performed various 'samskaaraas' at the appropriate timings of days, months and years.

Vishleshana on Janmaadi Samskaras:

[Dolarohana or Anadolaa Shayana- dugdha paana- jalapuja- Suuryaavalokana- nishkramana- Anna Praashana [by seating the child on the mother's lap and slowly administering the 'Paayasa' made of ghee, honey, milk and curd mix (without jaggery) from a gold or bronze vessel by hand with a gold ornament like a ring along with appropriate Mantras. After the Anna Prashana the child is left free to crawl towards a nearby destination where attractive and courful Vastras, ornaments, books, knife, pen and so on so that the first thing that he or she would get attracted to and touch or grab would decide as to what would be in his or her life ahead; Agratodha parinyasya Shilpa Vastuuni Sarvashah Shastraani chaiva Vastraani tatah pashyettu Lakshanam/Prathamam yatsrusheyd baalah Pustakaadi Swayam tadaa, Jeevikaatasya Baalasya tey naiva tu bhavishyati/]- Karna Vedha or piercing the ear lobes by a golden needle to Kshatriyas as against silver to Brahmanas - Drishthi dosha nivritta rakshaa vidhi or to overcome evil looks with the mantra: Praatassangava Madhyaahna Saayaahneshu cha Sandhyayoh, Mahaa nishi Sadaa raksha Kamsaarishtha nishudana/ Yadgorajah Pishaachaamcha Grahaan Maatru grahaanapi,

Bala grahaanvisheshena chindhi chindhi Mahaa bhayaan/ Traahi traahi Harey nityam twadrakshaa bhushitam Shubham/ (Do protect my child from evil looks and provide shield to my child in the mornings, afternoons, evenings and nights; do safeguard my child from cruel animals, serpents, pishachaas, Grahas, Matru Grahas, Maha Bhayanaka Bal Grahas, and demolish all such Evil Spirits and Forces; do also those provide Raksha to all who provide guard to my the defenders of my child!) -Choodaa Karana to be accomplished either from the first to five years after the birth of the child say at the Prathama Kesha Khandana on completion the first year upto the Samskaaraas of Upanayana depending on the family traditions and one's own convenience, preferably. Maagha-Phalguna-Vaishakha-Jyeshtha Months during Shukla Paksha- Vidyarambha or Initiation of Aksharaabhyasa is best performed in the 'Uttaraayana' of the fifth year of the child when Surya is not in Kumbha Raashi. Shukla Paksha is suitable; even Krishna Paksha is agreeable barring the last three Tithis. Dwiteeya, Triteeya, Panchami, Dashami, Ekadashi and Trayodashi are auspicious. Ashwini, Mrigaseesha, Ardra, Punarvasu, Pushya, Hasta, Chitra, Swaati, Anuradha, Shravana, Dhanishtha, Shatabhishak, and Revati are appropriate to reciteOm Namah Siddhamiti Akaaraadikshakaaraantaan varnaascha vilikhya sampujya praangmukham krutwaa Aksharaani trivaaram vaachayitwaa Vidyaarambham kaarayet/ - Upanayana: Garbhashtameshu brahmanamupanayeeta, Garbhekaada sheshu Raajanyam, garbha dvadasheshu Vaisyam, Vasanto greeshmah sharadityutsavo varnaanu purvenu iti/(Apastamba Sutra states that upanayana be performed by the eighth year to Brahmanas, eleventh year to Kshatriyas and twelfth year to Vaishyas; the suitable Seasons for performing Upanayana are Vasanta, Greeshma and Sharad Seasons repectively)]

Sarve vedavidah Shuraah sarve loka hito rataah, sarvajnaanopa sampannaah sarve samuditaa gunaih/ Teshaamapi maha tejaa Ramah satyaparaakramah, ishtah sarvasya lokasya shashana ivs nirmalah/ Gaja skandheshva pushthe cha rathacharyaasu sammatah, dhanudvedi cha niratah piruh shushrune ratah/ As King Dasharatha was heartily delighted that his eldest son Shri Rama had blossomed as Veda Dharma Vidwaan and also a 'Parama Veera Shura' a mighty person of bravery and glory, besides displaying qualities 'pro bono publico' or of enormous public welfare. He was indeed like an untarnished full moon. He could ride on an elephant top with grace and self confidence or ride on a speedy horse with the same ease as an intrepid warrior. He was an ardent son following the basic principle of 'pitru vakya parapalata' or true follower of what the father's word of wish would in spirit and will. On top of all these attributes of glory, Rama was a champion of Dhanur Vidya.

Vishleshana on 'Dhanurveda' (The Science of Archery and Weaponry) and Rules of Battle:

'Dhanurveda' or the knowledge of Archery and Weaponry is an important aspect covered in Agni Purana. Mainly five categories of weaponry are stated to have been used in the days of yore, viz. 'Yantramukta' launched from Yantra (machinery/ engines), including arrows released from bows; 'Pani Mukta' or thrown by hands, like stones or spears; 'mukta sandharita' ie. flung or withdrawn by hands; the weapons like swords invariably used by hands; and 'amukta' used by brute force such as duels/wrestling. The use of bow and arrows is an art by itself: the bow ('dhanush') with a tightly fitted strong string, making an arch form and the arrow drawn back as far as possible to be released while chanting a prayer to the respective Gods like 'Agni' (Fire), 'Vayu' (Wind), 'Indra' (Chief of Devas), 'Varuna' (God of Rain), Serpent ('Naga') etc. appropriate to an occasion. The opponent would naturally retalliate and the initiator should have the knowledge to anticipate an opposite action and the fight keeps going depending the tolerance and attacking power of an archer.In addition to the set of bows and arrows, a warrior is also equipped with an arrow-hive to store the arrows to be hung behind in the back, armoury protecting the chest, neck, hands, legs, feet, groins, back and of course the head, a belt to accommodate a sword, a dagger, a noose, a mace, an iron chain, and most of all a shield. The charioteer, the horses and a strong chariot are to be suitably equipped too. The art of handling each item of defence and offence to one's own

advantage is an integral part of 'Dhanurveda' training and skill management, which alone is the answer for the success of the battle discipline.

Baalyaat prabhriti susnigdho Lakshmano lakshma vardhanah, Raamasya lokaraamasya bhraatrujyeshtasya nityashah, sarvapriyakartasya Raamasyaapi shareeratah/ Lakshmano lakshmasampanno bahirpraana ivaaparah, na cha tena vinaa nidraam labhate purushottamah, mrishtamannamupaaneetam annaati na hi tan vinaa/ Lakashmana- the Lakshmi vardhana or the sign of Lakshmi the Wealth- was of the incarnation of Adi Shesha and mutually dearmost to Shri Rama. Purushottama Shri Rama was stated to never had comfortable sleep except Lakshmana was not on guard. Further when excellent food was offered to Shri Rama, the latter never accepted it withou sharing the same. As and when Rama went on riding a speedy horse, Lakshman was to run along as speedily keeping his 'dhanush' with arrows drawn for Rama's protection.

Vishleshana on Lakshmana the manifestation of Adi Shesha: Adi Shasha was the first born to Kasahyapa Maharshi and Devi Kadru, followed by Vaasuki- Airavata-Takshaka and thereafter the sarpa generation of Iravata, Mahapadma, Kambala, Ashwatara, Shankha, Karkotaka, Dhananjaya, Kaliya and so on. As most of Shesha's younger brothers were cruel bent upon harming other beings, especially the cousin brothers like Garuda, Shesha was disgusted by the cruel took to austere penances, lived on air and meditated in places including Gandhamadhana, Badrikashrama, Gokarna, Pushkara and Himalayas. His penances were so severe that his flesh, skin and muscles dried up and became skeletal. Lord Brahma was pleased andblessed as Shesha requested Brahma to let his mind under control for ever. Brahma then instructed to go beneath the unstable earth and stabilize it. Shesha agreed and went to the netherworld and stabilized earth with his hood. Shesha is also depicted with a massive form that floats coiled in space on Ksheera Saagara as the bed on which Maha Vishnu lies as of thousand hoods each ormented with glittering precious crowns.

Bharatasya Shatrughno Lakshmanaavarajo hi sah, praanaih priyataro nityam tasyachaaseet tathaa priyah/ Like wise King Dasharatha was in great joy possessing Bharata, Lakshmana and Shatrughna apart from the singular source of Rama the blissful. These boys as they grew up turned out increasingly as of 'jnaana sampanna', 'lajjaasheela' or modest, 'yashasvi' or popular and famed, 'sarvagjna' or well informed, and 'Dooradarshis' or far-sighted; the King was as contented as Brahma himself as the creator of such progeny of glory.In due course, the illstrious foursome were of daily veda swaadhyaayas, pitru seva, and dhanur vidyaabhyasa.

One fine day, the King called up a meeting of purohitas, his queens, and close relatives broached the topic of wedding to the sons. Mean while Maharshi **Vishvamitra** too arrived. The Maharshi sent a message to the King about his arrival as the Koushika Vamsha Gaadhiputra Vishmamitra. The King was rather nonplussed about Vishvamitra's sudden arrival. Yet as accompanied by purohita Vasishtha Maharshi he wolcomed so heartily as Indra would to Brahma Deva himself! Maharshi Vishvmitra informed the King that he was planning for a rigorous 'Vrata' with 'agni karyas' and then enquired of the King's welfare, the plumpness of th kingdom's treasury, the control and intactness of the Kingdom's boundaries, the welfare of his family and associates, and contentment of his Subjects. Later on Vishvamitra enquired of the wellbeing of Vashishta Maharshi and co Rishi- Brahmana ganaas too in the Conference as well. Now having the Guest been seated comfortably, the King made his introductory welcome remarks stating that the visit of Vishvamitra was pleasurable and he would be too happy to assist for the successful

completion of the Great Yagjna proposed. The visiting Maharshi became too happy at the King's generosity as the latter expressed.

Sargas Nineteen and Twenty

Maharshi Vishvamitra then addressed King Dasharatha: 'On hearing my earnest request, you must swearingly assure me that it should be indeed fulfilled. Maharshi continued to state: Aham niyamamaatishthe siddhyaratham purusharshabha, tasya vighnakaro dvou tu raakshasou kaamarupinou/Vrate tu bahushacchhrenaam samaaptyaam raakshasaavimou, Maareechascha Subaayuscha veerya vantou surakshitou/Tou maamsa rudhiroughene taamabhyavarshataam avadhute tathaabhute tasmin niyamanishchaye/Kritaschamo nirutsaahastasmaad deshaadapaakrame, na cha me krodhamatsrishtham buddhir bhavati paarthiva/Tathaabhutaa hi saa charyaa na shaapastatra muchyate, sva putram raaja shaardula Ramam satyaparaakramam/ity evam uktvā dharmātmā dharmārthasahitam vacaḥ, virarāma mahātejā viśvāmitro mahāmunih/iti hṛdayamanovidāraṇam; munivacanam tad atīva śuśruvān, narapatir agamad bhayam mahad; vyathitamanāḥ pracacāla cāsanāt/

King Dasharatha! The maximum part of the YagiMaharshuna is over but now am concerned of the attacks of Rakshasaas. As you are aware, I am bound by the principles of shanti- mouna-shama- and dama and hence would not be able to get irritated and angered. The Rakshasaas tend to pour rains of blood and minced meat and all my earlier endeavors would get to nought. Indeed, I feel tempted to get angry and giva 'shaap' to the rakshasaas but by doing so then what all had been achieved would net negated. That is why: sva putram raaja shaardula Ramam satyaparaakramam/ Kaakapakshadharam veeram jyeshtham me daatumarhasi, śakto hy eşa mayā gupto divyena svena tejasā, rākṣasā ye vikartāras teṣām api vināśane, śreyaś cāsmai pradāsyāmi bahurūpam na samśayah/ Trayānām api lokānām yena khyātim gamisyati, na ca tau rāmam āsādya śaktau sthātum katham cana, na ca tau rāghavād anyo hantum utsahate pumān/ vīryotsiktau hi tau pāpau kālapāśavaśam gatau, rāmasya rājaśārdūla na paryāptau mahātmanah/ na ca putrakrtam sneham kartum arhasi pārthiva, aham te pratijānāmi hatau tau viddhi rākṣasau/ aham vedmi mahātmānam rāmam satyaparākramam, vasiṣṭho 'pi mahātejā ye ceme tapasi sthitāḥ/ yadi te dharmalābham ca yaśaś ca paramam bhuvi, sthiram icchasi rāiendra rāmam me dātum arhasi/yady abhyanujñām kākutstha dadate tava mantrinah, vasistha pramukhāh sarve tato rāmam visarjaya/ abhipretam asamsaktam ātmajam dātum arhasi, daśarātram hi yajñasya rāmam rājīvalocanam/ nātyeti kālo yajñasya yathāyam mama rāghava, tathā kurusva bhadram te mā ca śoke manah krthāh/

Kindly allow as per your own promise your magnificent Shri Rama the Kaakutsa vamsha dhaari, satya parakrami, shuravera and your eldest son. He should indeed be able to uproot the Rakshasa groups with ease and instantly. This would eventually ear n name and fame as the proud son of yours in trilokas! The principal raakshasaas named Mareecha and Subahu could never ever dare to face him and that should also send a warning to the rest of rakshasaas too. Maha Raja! never imagine Rama as your affection and attachment worthy feeling of a son only but I should be able to swear that the two Rakshasas should soon met their logical conclusions of death and fright! Maharshi Vasishtha and all other Rishis present here are fully aware of Shri Rama's 'satyaparakrama' or of truthful gallantry and heroism. In case, if virtue and truthfulness are to be sustained on Earth, do allow the unique hero to accompany me. Surely, Vashishtha and other Maharshis present here should vindicated my stand asserted Vishvamitra. Katutstha nandana Dasharatha! Do therefore spare Shri Rama for ten days to let him prove his heriosm worldwide and wirthout further procrastination, do supress your affection for now so that any further delay would very adversely thwart my timings of my yajgna karya. As Maharshi Vishvamitra pleaded so vociferously, King Dasharatha had lost his balance of body and mind and fell unconscious.

Tac chrutvā rājaśārdūla viśvāmitrasya bhāṣitam, muhūrtam iva niḥsamjñaḥ samjñāvān idam abravīt/ ūnaṣoḍaśavarṣo me rāmo rājīvalocanaḥ, na yuddhayogyatām asya paśyāmi saha rākṣasaiḥ/ iyam akṣauhiṇī pūrṇā yasyāham patir īśvaraḥ, anayā samvrto gatvā yodhāham tair niśācaraiḥ/ ime śūrāś ca vikrāntā bhrtyā me 'straviśāradāḥ yogyā raksoganair yoddhum na rāmam netum arhasi/ aham eva dhanuspānir goptā samaramūrdhani, vāvat prānān dharisyāmi tāvad votsve niśācaraih/nirvighnā vratacaryā sā bhavişyati surakṣitā, aham tatra gamiṣyāmi na rāma netum arhasi/ bālo hy akṛtavidyaś ca na ca vetti balābalam, na cāstrabalasamyukto na ca yuddhaviśāradah, na cāsau raksasām yogyah kūtayuddhā hi te dhruvam/ viprayukto hi rāmena muhūrtam api notsahe, jīvitum muniśārdūla na rāmam netum arhasi/yadi vā rāghavam brahman netum icchasi suvrata, caturangasamāyuktam mayā saha ca tam naya/ sastir varsasahasrāni jātasya mama kauśika, duhkhenotpāditaś cāyam na rāmam netum arhasi/ caturṇām ātmajānām hi prītiḥ paramikā mama, jyeṣṭham dharmapradhānam ca na rāmam netum arhasi/ kim vīryā rāksasās te ca kasya putrāś ca ke ca te, katham pramānāh ke caitān raksanti munipumgaya/ katham ca pratikartayyam tesām rāmena raksasām, māmakair vā balair brahman mayā vā kūtayodhinām/ sarvam me śamsa bhagavan katham teṣām mayā rane, sthātavyam duṣṭabhāvānām vīryotsiktā hi rāksasāh/ On gradual rcovery from his unconsciousness, King Dasharatha addressed Maharshi Vishvamitra that the lotus eyed lad of hardly sixteen years of age being asked to battle with treacherous groups of Rakshasaas was unnatural and unheard of. 'I have the sena of akshouhinis and I myself should be able to destroy them all in no time. But even to think of Rama facing the Rakshasaas would be fanciful. Rama is vet to be aware of the nuances of battles against Mayayi Rakshasaas. If insisted, then I too might at the most allow him to accompany me but by any fair way of aksing him to face the evil knowingly might not be a consrtuctive proposition. Kushika nandana Vishvamitra Maharshi! I am now of 60000 years of ripe age and do mercifully not insist Shri Rama only. Caturnām ātmajānām hi prītiḥ paramikā mama, jyestham dharmapradhānam ca na rāmam netum arhasi/ My four sons are the structures of virtue and Rama is the foremost of them all and that is precisely why that he be not made to face the evil Rakshasaas! Where and what are they and where is a lad of Rama! Allow me myself to safeguard the Yagina!' As King Dasharatha argued with him thus, albeit politely and seemingly convincingly, Maharshi Vishvamitra replied: tasya tad vacanam śrutvā viśvāmitro 'bhyabhāṣata, paulastyavamśaprabhavo rāvano nāma rākṣasah/ sa brahmaṇā dattavaras trailokyam bādhate bhṛśam, mahābalo mahāvīryo rāksasair bahubhir vṛtah/ śrūyate hi mahāvīryo rāvano rāksasādhipah, sāksād vaiśravanabhrātā putro viśravaso muneh/ yadā svayam na yajñasya vighnakartā mahābalah, tena samcoditau tau tu rākṣasau sumahā balau, mārīcaś ca subāhuś ca yajñavighnam kariṣyataḥ/ ity ukto muninā tena rājovāca munim tadā, na hi śakto 'smi samgrāme sthātum tasya durātmanah/ sa tvam prasādam dharmaiña kurusva mama putrake, devadānavagandharvā vaksāh pataga pannagāh/ na śaktā rāvaṇam soḍhum kim punar mānavā yudhi sa hi vīryavatām vīryam ādatte yudhi rākṣasaḥ/ tena cāham na śakto 'smi samyoddhum tasya vā balaih, sabalo vā muniśrestha sahito vā mamātmajaih/ katham apy amaraprakhyam samgrāmāṇām akovidam, bālam me tanayam brahman naiva dāsyāmi putrakam/ atha kālopamau yuddhe sutau sundopasundayoḥ, yajñavighnakarau tau te naiva dāsyāmi putrakam/ mārīcaś ca subāhuś ca vīryavantau suśikṣitautayor anyatarenāham yoddhā syām sasuhrdganah/ Maha Raja! Ravana is a notorious Rakshasa, born in the Maharshi Pulastya. He had tahen a boon from Brahma Himself and as such had bemome a huge menace to Trilokas and thus invincible;[the boon was that only a renowned human of the 'amsha' of Vishnu himself]. It is learnt that Ravana was the cousin brother of Kubera himself as the latter was born to Maharshi Vishva himself. That being the background of Ravanaasura, the latter was encouraging the rakshasa duo named Maricha and Subahu to create troubles wantonly in my yagina. Unfotunately the hint that Vishmamitra gave could not be digested by King Dasharatha. But kept on insisting that he would still intend to protect the Maharshi's Yagjna by killng Maricha- Subahu rakshasas all by himself!

Sarga Twenty one

Tac chrutvā vacanam tasya snehaparyākulākṣaram, samanyuḥ kauśiko vākyam pratyuvaca mahīpatim/ pūrvam artham pratiśrutya pratijñām hātum icchasi, rāgavāṇām ayukto 'yam kulasyāsya viparyayaḥ/ yad idam te kṣamam rājan gamiṣyāmi yathāgatam, mithyāpratijñaḥ kākutstha sukhī bhava sabāndhavaḥ/ tasya roṣaparītasya viśvāmitrasya dhīmataḥ, cacāla vasudhā kṛtsnā viveśa ca bhayam surān/ trastarūpam tu vijñāya jagat sarvam mahān ṛṣiḥ, nṛpatim suvrato dhīro vasiṣṭho vākyam abravīt/ ikṣvākūṇām kule jātaḥ sākṣād dharma ivāparaḥ, dhṛtimānsuvrataḥ śrīmān na dharmam hātum arhasi/ triṣu lokeṣu vikhyāto dharmātmā iti rāghavaḥ, svadharmam pratipadyasva nādharmam voḍhum arhasi/ samśrutyai -tvam kariṣyāmīty akurvāṇasya rāghava, iṣṭāpūrtavadho bhūyāt tasmād rāmam visarjaya/ kṛtāstram akṛtāstram vā nainam śakṣyanti rākṣasāḥ, guptam kuśikaputreṇa jvalanenāmṛtam yathā/ eṣa vigrahavān dharma eṣa vīryavatām varaḥ, eṣa buddhyādhiko loke tapasaś ca parāyaṇam/ eṣo 'strān vividhān vetti trailokye sacarācare, nainam anyaḥ pumān vetti na ca vetsyanti ke cana/ na devā narṣayaḥ ke cin nāsurā na ca rākṣasāḥ, gandharvayakṣapravarāḥ sakimnaramahoragāḥ/ sarvāstrāṇi kṛśāśvasya putrāḥ paramadhārmikāḥ, kauśikāya purā dattā yadā rājyam praśāsati/ te 'pi putrāḥ kṛśāśvasya prajāpatisutāsutāḥ, nakarūpā mahāvīryā dīptimanto jayāvahāḥ/ jayā ca suprabhā caiva dakṣakanye sumadhyame,

te suvāte 'straśastrāṇi śatam parama bhāsvaram/ pañcāśatam sutām lebhe jayā nāma varān purā vadhāyāsurasainyānām ameyān kāmarūpiṇaḥ/ suprabhājanayac cāpi putrān pañcāśatam punaḥ, samhārān nāma durdharṣān durākrāmān balīyasaḥ/ tāni cāstrāṇi vetty eṣa yathāvat kuśikātmajaḥ, apūrvāṇām ca janane śakto bhūyaś ca dharmavit/ evam vīryo mahātejā viśvāmitro mahātapāḥ, na rāmagamane rājan samśayam gantum arhasi/

Despite Maharshi's request that Shri Rama be asked to save his yagina as he could terminate the Rakshasaas even after the subtle message about the invincibility of Ravanasura as per Brahma's boon, the King kept up his adamancy and the Maharshi angrily stated that even after the King's initial assertion that he could do anything to preserve the glory of his ancestry, 'may the King be happy that he had gone back on his- fake -assertions! Tasya rosaparītasya viśvāmitrasya dhīmatah, cacāla vasudhā kṛtsnā viveśa ca bhayam surān/ Aa Maharshi Vishvamitra was rattled with anger, it looked that Earth might not be shaken and even Deva ganaas witnessing the proceedings were in panic. To avert the crisis, Maharshi Vasishtha intervened: 'King Dasharatha! You are the symbol of Ikshvaku Vamasha and of its sustained glory. You are the famed torch bearer of the clan and should not allow any scope for its infringment now. May your assertion to Vishvamitra that his yagjna would be concluded successfully be so honoured truthfully without inhibitions of 'ifs and buts' and accordingly let the famed Maharshi with outstanding foresight be pleased to let Shri Rama accompany him most certainly! Whether Shri Rama was well conversant with 'Astra Vidya' or of the full knowledge of archery or not would be irrelevant, but one reality was definite that no Rakshasa in the universal creation could face him never ever! As the fierce fires should keep the pot of Amrit in steady position, Maharshi Vishvamitra should safeguard Shri Rama and no mighty rakshasa could ever dare to go anywhere near him. Shri Rama himself as also Maharshi Vishvamitra are the symbols of Dharma, knowledge and intense concentration. King Dasharatha! The Maharshi was steeped in the knowledge Astra-Shastra Vidya unparalleled. Na devā narsayah ke cin nāsurā na ca rākṣasāh, gandharvayakṣapravarāh sakimnaramahoragāh/Deva-Rishi-Raakshasa-Gandharva-Yaksha- Kinnara- Maha Naagas too were disabled too to realise their magnificence. Probably Prajapati Kushaasva was in the past was aware of the niceties of the astra-shastra vidya and his son Vishvamitra then a King had inherited it.Raghunandana Dasharatha! That is precisely why the finesse of Vishvamitra turned a Maharshi from an outstanding expert in archery! Indeed he as a Maharshi now is

steeped in the knowledge of the past-present and the future. That is why you should never hesitate even for a moment to let Rama happily accompany the Maharshi!

Vishleshava on Brahmarshi Vishvamitra:

- 1. Gayatri Mantra: Thrice a day dvijas are expected to perform Gayatri Mantra and during the Invocatory and Viniyogas or attributions of Gayatri / Shiro Mantras state: *Tatsavituriti Vishwamitra Rishih Gayatri chaandah Savitaa Devataa Apojyotiriti Sirasah Pajapatirishi yajuschhando BrahmagniVaayu Suryaa Devataah*/ Brahmarshi 'Vishva Mitra' credited as the unique reviver of Gayatri Mantra vide Rigveda's third mandala.
- 2. Origin of Vishvamitra:In the days of yore, Sage Bhrigu's son Maha Muni Rucheek was on 'Tirtha Yatra'and reached a Place called Bhojkat on the banks of River Kaushiki, ruled by King Gaadhi. As the Muni was at the River for taking his 'Snaan', he saw an extraordinarily pretty girl and on enquiry came to learn that she was the daughter of the King named Tribhuvan Sundari who arrived there to worship Devi Gauri in the Temple there with the desire to secure a suitable husband. Sage Rucheek approached King Gaadhi with a proposal to marry his daughter and the latter did not relish the offer since the Sage was old and none too handsome but could not directly convey the negative reply as the Sage might curse either the King or his daughter. He had indirectly suggested that he would expect 'Kanya sulkam' or dowry as per the Royal Tradition and the dowry would be seven hundred white horses with black ears which could run as fast as wind; the King felt that this kind of difficult demand would surely dissuade the Sage. On the other hand, Sage Rucheek prayed to Devatas and recited sixty four Ruchas (stanzas) in Chanda or symmetry invoking seven hundred mighty horses coloured white with black ears along with strong riders who could run like wind! That specific Ghat of Ganges was thus known as 'Ashva Tirtha'. As per the earlier understanding the King could not wriggle out and had to marry off the daughter to the Muni. Almost after the wedding, the Muni told the bride that he was going off for performing Tapasya and asked her for a boon. The bride's mother advised the daughter to ask the Sage for an excellent boy full of Brahmana's virtues for herself and for a brave Kshatriya boy for the Queen. The Sage performed 'Putreshtu Yagna'to fulfill the desires of the daughter and her mother, viz. a boy of great Brahmanik radiance and another boy with unusual Kshatriya's vivacity respectively and gave away two seedlings one for herself and another for her mother. He instructed that his wife should embrace a Pipal Tree and her mother should embrace a 'Bargad' Tree after consuming the respective seedlings. But the daughter and the mother wanted to test the Sage and thus exchanged the seedlings and the trees. The Sage discovered that exchanges of the seedlings and the trees took place and got quite angry, but the young wife sincerely begged the husband to conceive a boy with Brahmanic qualities although he might have the Kshatriya background. The Sage replied that there could not be a reversal of the situation, yet the boy born of Kshatriya origin might however be an illustrated Sage or a Rajarshi. Thus were born Vishwamitra to Tribhuvansundari and Jamadagni to the Queen. Jamadagni begot Parasurama who not only destroyed King Kartaviryarjuna for killing Sage Jamadagni but also wiped out Kshatriyas in a series of twenty one battles and uplifted the supremacy of Brahmanas as a race. On the other hand, Viswamitra became a Rajarshi with the qualities of a Brahmana. After Gaadhi, Viswamitra became the King. (Skanda Purana)

Thus Vishvamitra was of the Kshatriya clan as the King of Kanyakubja, a famed warrior of koushika vamsha and the son of King Gaadhi. Once King Vishvamitra on a hunting spree with his mighty entourage happened to visit Maharshi Vasishtha at his ashram and was treated him and his large army with a sumpuous lunch and discovered Kaama Dhenu the celestial cow the ashram. Vishwamitra was

fascinated and wanted the cow for himself so that his 'praja' would never face shortage of food. As Vasishtha refused, the King pondered that true might never wrested with battle skills but only with austerities and relentless tapasya. Vishwamitra spent many years in the pursuit of his goal and faced many obstacles like. For instance, his meditations were once interrupted when he was seduced by Menaka. [Mahabharata describes Vishvamitra's relationship with Menaka resulting in a daughter, Shakuntala]. He returned to his meditations, but was forced to re-start again and again. Finally, he returned to Bramarshi Vasishtha and evesdropped and heard the conversation of Vasishtha and his wife Arundhati, and learnt that Vasistha had been always encouraging Vishvamitra all along as the King turned Maharshi was steadfast in his Tapasya despite several hurdles and material attractions and physical weaknesses throughout his journey to enlightenment. Ashamed of his anger towards Vasistha, Vishwamitra began to hit his head against a wall. Vasistha rushed out to stop Vasistha and Vishwamitra fell to the ground. As his head touched the feet of Vasistha, Vishwamitra felt a divine current course through his body. He also went into spontaneous state of 'samadhi' when he heard Gayatri Mantra which he kept on repeating for long. Vasithta during Vishva -mitra's Enlightenment and acquisition of Celestial Energies conferred the title of Brahma-rishi' to him.

2. Vishvamitra and Harischandra: King Harishchandra on a hunting expedition, he heard the cries of a woman asking for help. Armed with a bow and arrow, he went in the direction of the sound. The sound was an illusion created by Vighnaraja, the Lord of the obstacles. Vighnaraja was trying to disturb the tapasya of Vishvamitra and entered the body of Harishchandra who in turn started abusing Vishwamitra. This disturbed Vishwamitra's tapasya even as Harishchandra came to his senses and realized that the Sage was extremely angry with him, and apologized. Then commenced the 'Agni Pareeksha' Harischandra who was renowned for his outstanding Truthfulness. As though Ganesha prompted Vishvamitra by testing the tenacity of Vishvamitra and the glory of Truthfullness of the King alike, the episode of Satya Harischandra got initiated. The King promised to fulfill any of the Vishvamitra's desires to get rid of his guilt. The King requested to perform Rajasuya Yagna. There after, when Harischandra offered 'dakshina' to Vishvamitra, the latter surprised the King and demanded his entire kingdom and all his possessions excepting him, his wife Devi Chandramati and son Rohitasya and left the palace. Vishvamitra further demanded another dakshina when Harischandra sold off himself, his wife and son too. The Sage maltreated them all and Harischandra decided to leave for Kashi in utter poverty. Viswamitra reached there too and reminded about the dues of Dakshina since a month passed meanwhile. Harischandra's wife offered that she could be sold off to pay for the Dakshina. The King fainted at her proposal and she fainted too. But since the Sage gave an ultimatum to pay off at least a part payment by that evening, the coupledecided that she was sold in an open market place as a slave of any taker. A Brahmana came forward to buy her and some amount was paid to Viswamitra, but the young son Rohit did not leave his mother and she begged the Brahmana, who already started insulting and even beating her in the presence of her husband and the Public, finally agreed to allow the son to stay along with her in his home. A few days later, Viswamitra appeared in the form of 'Kaal' (Mrityu/ the Deity of Death) and demanded that atleast another instalment of the payment due to him at once; Harischandra had no other option to sell himself to a Chandala, even while reminiscing his past stature and the absence of his virtuous wife and the dear son. The Chandala gave him the duty of holding a stick to burn off dead bodies and be loyal to the Master and carry out his meanest errands The Great Harischandra finally got rid of Viswamitra even if he had to perform the most wretched and heinous duties; he lost his identity and carried on with past memories which also faded away with the passage of time and led a mechanical and handful existence. One fateful day, a woman arrived at the burial ground with a dead body of her son, stated to

have been dead as a result of a snake bite. The crying woman recognised the person with his stick with which he was used to burn off dead bodies for years now, and even as he had a dishvelled and ugly hair and beard, with depressed cheeks and hollow eyes. The former Queen- the wife of King Harischandra was herself half clad and hardly identifiable, with her dead son on her lap; she had tired eyes after incessant cries and was looking completely exhausted and hysteric. A man called Harischandra- a non-entityvaguely felt he saw her somewhere! At last, he recognised her and their dead son and hugged her and the son's body, arranged the dead son on a huge pyre and was about to consign to flames. His wife decided to immolate herself but Harischandra felt that he was not free even to do so without his Master's permission. Finally he decided to join his wife's immolation even if he were to go to hell and the couple performed their last prayers to Almighty. Just at that nick of time several Deities headed by Dharma made their appearance; they included Sadhyaganas, Vishvadeva, Marutganas, Lokapalas, Nagamani, Siddhaganas, Gandharvas, Rudraganas, the two Ashvani Kumaras, Sage Viswamitra and Lord Indra too. The dead Rohit was revived and presented himself in a Prince's attire Harischandra and his wife were blessed and were invited to reach Heaven but the King hesitated as he did not secure his Master's permission; Dharmaraja declared that he himself was the Chandala and approved of the Royal Couple to fly by the Pushpak Vimana to Swarga. Lord Indra stated that all the Deities were extremely happy with the Values of Dharma, Sacrifice, Dedication and Truthfulness that were amply demonstrated by the King, his wife and their son and as such the three were fully entitled to Swarga. Indra sprinkled 'Apamrutyu vinaashaka Amrit'/ the Ambrosia that negated death on the Pyre where the dead body of Rahul was kept and the various Deities showered fresh fragrant flowers and Indra personally invited the Threesome to Swarga; .but Harischandra hesitated and said that the Citizens of Ayodhya were highly anguished at our misfortune and hence the King and family alone could not depart to Swarga committing betrayal; the sins of Brahmahatya, Guruhatya, Gohatya, Streehatya are as deplorable as Bhaktahatya; therefore Bhagavan Indra! Kindly return to Swarga, since the pleasure of visiting that Place would not accord as much happiness of our reaching Swarga as our staying in this 'Bhu Naraka' along with our Bhaktas! Thus our resolve is to stay back with our own well-wishers ony. Lord Indra was taken aback by the decision of Harischandra and did concur with his proposal as an unusual and exceptional occurrence! Sage Sukracharya commended the example of Harischandra and stated as follows: Harischandrasamo Raja na bhuto na Bhavishyati!

3. Vishvamitra and Vashishtha: an interesting rivalry of Vasishtha and Viswamitra and their mutual curses to become birds: After emerging from his penance under water for twelve long years, the Guru of the King Harischandra, Sage Vasishtha, came to learn that Viswamitra tormented the King and his family to such unendurable limits as taking away their Kingdom, freedom of existence, and near extinction of their lives. It was due to the enduring capacity of the King that even Deities like Indra, Dharma and Dikpalakaas complemented him and his family as was so felt by Vasishtha too.. Quite incensed by the deplorable acts of Viswamithra, he gave a Curse saying: *Tasmadduraatma Brahmadvida* yajvinaamavatopakah macchhapahato moodhaha sa bakatvamavaapsyati (Due to this reason, that evilminded stupid who is a hater of Brahmanas and who seeks to spoil Yagnas being performed by them be cursed to become a stork!). But Viswamitra came to know of the curse and gave a return curse to Vasishtha to say: *Twamaadi bhavasvet* (You become a Partridge!). By virtue of their mutual curses, both the Sages turned out to be birds and kept on quarrelling with each other screeching and shrieking and becoming a nuisance in the surroundings. Lord Brahma himself, as accompannied by Deities sought to bring about truce to the fighting Baka (Stork) and Aaadi (Partridge) but to no effect. Finally, Lord Brahma over-ruled the mutual curses of the Sages and restored their original forms. Vasishtha and

Viswamitra felt ashamed of them; Brahma explained to Vasishtha that the extreme actions taken by Sage Viswamitra against Harischandra and family were only to put them to test but not out of spite or jealousy; even Dharma Raja was an actor in the drama that was initiated by Maha Ganapati Himself! Harischandra and family as also the great illustrious Well-wisher Subjects of Ayodhya were amply rewarded at the end thus explained Lord Brahma.

Sarga Twenty Two

Stanzas 1-23: Tathā vasisthe bruvati rājā daśarathah sutam, prahṛstavadano rāmam ājuhāva salaksmaṇam/ kṛtasvastyayanam mātrā pitrā daśarathena ca, purodhasā vasisthena mangalair abhimantritam/ sa putram mūrdhny upāghrāya rājā daśarathah priyam, dadau kuśikaputrāya suprītenāntarātmanā/ tato vāyuḥ sukhasparśo virajasko vavau tadā, viśvāmitragatam rāmam dṛṣṭvā rājīvalocanam/ puspavrstir mahatv āsīd devadundubhinisvanah, śaṅkhadundubhinirghosah pravāte tu mahātmani/ viśvāmitro yayāv agre tato rāmo mahāyaśāh, kākapaksadharo dhanvī tam ca saumitrir anvagāt/ kalāpinau dhanuṣpāṇī śobhayānau diśo daśa, viśvāmitram mahātmānam triśīrṣāv iva pannagau, anujagmatur aksudrau pitāmaham ivāśvinau/ baddhagodhāngulitrāṇau khaḍgavantau mahādyuti, sthāņum devam ivācintyam kumārāv iva pāvakī/ adhyardhayojanam gatvā sarayvā dakṣiṇe tate, rāmeti madhurā vānīm viśvāmitro 'bhyabhāṣata/ grhāṇa vatsa salilam mā bhūt kālasya paryayaḥ, mantragrāmam grhāna tvam balām atibalām tathā, na śramo na įvaro vā te na rūpasya viparyayah, ca suptam pramattam vā dharşayişyanti nairrtāh/ na bāhvoḥ sadṛśo vīrye pṛthivyām asti kaś cana, triṣu lokeşu vā rāma na bhavet sadṛśas tava/ na saubhāgye na dākṣiṇye na jñāne buddhiniścaye, nottare pratipattavyo samo loke tavānagha/ etadvidyādvaye labdhe bhavitā nāsti te samah, balā cātibalā caiva sarvajñānasya mātarau/ ksutpipāse na te rāma bhavisyete narottama, balām atibalām caiva pathatah pathi rāghava, vidyādvayam adhīyāne yaśaś cāpy atulam bhuvi/ pitāmahasute hy ete vidye tejahsamanvite, pradātum tava kākutstha sadršas tvam hi dhārmika/ kāmam bahugunāh sarve tvayv ete nātra samśayah, tapasā sambhrte caite bahurūpe bhavisyatah/ tato rāmo jalam sprstvā prahrstavadanah śucih, pratijagrāha te vidve maharser bhāvitātmanah, vidvāsamudito rāmah śuśubhe bhūrivikramah/ gurukāryāṇi sarvāṇi niyujya kuśikātmaje, ūṣus tāṁ rajanīṁ tatra sarayvāṁ susukhaṁ trayaḥ/ As Brahmarshi Vasishtha assured King Dasharatha about Shri Rama's safety in safeguarding the Vishvamitra Yagjna, the King was satisfied and allowed Shri Rama to accompany Vishvamitra even as Lakshmana followed Shri Rama. Then the King and queen Koushalya recited 'mantras' of auspicious ness and blessed the depating sons. Dasharadha touched the forehead of Rama with affectionate snd off and handed over to the Maharshi. As cool breezes of winds were passing, it looked that Devas were shovering flowers from the skies while tuneful songs and farewell dances were generating send off music by the crowded onlookers on the way. The boys with a container of arrows on their backs and a 'dhanush' on the shoulders proceeded with smiling composure behind the Maharshi as though Ashvikni Kumars were accompanying Brahma Deva. Both Rama and Lakshmana were dressed illustriously and wearing glittering ornaments appropriately, along with a sharp knife hanging around a waist belt. In fact the scene was that of Maha Deva being accompanied by Agni Kumara Skanda and Vishakha. As the threesome proceeded towards the banks of the Sacred River Sarayu, then the Kumaras were asked to have a quick 'aachamana' and 'prokshana' in the river soon to return. Mantragrāmam grhāna tvam balām atibalām tathā, na śramo na jvaro vā te na rūpasya viparyayaḥ/ Na ca suptam pramattam vā dharṣayiṣyanti nairṛtāḥ, na bāhvoḥ sadṛśo vīrye pṛthivyām asti kaś cana/ Vishvamitra explained that these are two potent mantras named Bala and Atibala, and by their recitations they would be never fatigued but fortified with energy, fitness and alertness, conquering illnesses or diseases of any kind whatsoever and of hunger and thirst too. Now, Raghu nandanas! By practising these two mantras, none indeed could ever face you as being Singular and Invincible. Be it well understood that these two mantras of magnificence are the dear and radiant daughters of Brahma Deva Himself! Brahmarshi stated with emphatic selflessness that he himself accomplished Bala and Ati Bala Mantras by his own long and uninterrupted tapsya of several years and blessed Shri Rama: *Vidyaasamudito Raamah shushubhe bheema vikramah, sahasra rashmir bhagavaangsharadeeya Duvaakarah*/ Thereafter the threesome had comfortable rest for the night.

Sarga Twenty Three

Prabhātāyām tu śarvaryām viśvāmitro mahāmunih, abhyabhāsata kākutstham śayānam parnasamstare/ kausalyā suprajā rāma pūrvā samdhyā pravartate, uttistha naraśārdūla kartavyam daivam āhnikam/ tasyarseh paramodāram vacah śrutvā nṛpātmajau, snātvā kṛtodakau vīrau jepatuh paramam japam/ kṛtāhnikau mahāvīryau viśvāmitram tapodhanam, abhivādyābhisamhṛstau gamanāyopatasthatuh/ tau prayāte mahāvīryau divyam tripathagām nadīm, dadrśāte tatas tatra sarayvāḥ samgame śubhe/ tatrāśramapadam punyam rsīnām ugratejasām, bahuvarsasahasrāni tapyatām paramam tapah/ tam drstvā paramaprītau rāghavau punyam āśramam, ūcatus tam mahātmānam viśvāmitram idam vacah/ kasyāyam āśramaḥ puṇyaḥ ko nv asmin vasate pumān, bhagavañ śrotum icchāvaḥ param kautūhalam hi nau/ tayos tad vacanam śrutvā prahasya munipumgavah, abravīc chrūyatām rāma yasyāyam pūrva āśramah/ kandarpo mūrtimān āsīt kāma ity ucyate budhaih, tapasyantam iha sthānum niyamena samāhitam/krtodvāham tu devešam gacchantam samarudganam, dharsayām āsa durmedhā humkrtas ca mahātmanā/ dagdhasya tasya raudrena cakṣuṣā raghunandana, vyaśīryanta śarīrāt svāt sarvagātrāṇi durmateh/ tasya gātram hatam tatra nirdagdhasya mahātmanā, aśarīrah krtah kāmah krodhād deveśvarena ha/ ananga iti vikhyātas tadā prabhrti rāghava, sa cāngaviṣayaḥ śrīmān yatrāngam sa mumoca ha/ tasyāyam āśramah punyas tasyeme munayah purā, śisyā dharmaparā vīra tesām pāpam na vidyate/ ihādya rajanīm rāma vasema śubhadarśana, punyayoh saritor madhye śvas tarisyāmahe vayam/ tesām samvadatām tatra tapo dīrghena caksusā/ vijñāya paramaprītā munayo harsam āgaman/arghyam pādyam tathātithyam nivedyakuśikātmaje, rāmalaksmanayoh paścād akurvann atithikriyām/ satkāram samanuprāpya kathābhir abhirañjayan, nyavasan susukham tatra kāmāśramapade tadā/ Early morning as Rama Lakshmana Vishyamitras had comfortable night sleep, the Maharshi addresed Rama! Your dear mother Devi Koushalya might have perhaps addressed you on your getting back from sleep that you should proceed with your morning duties of devas. Both Rama and Lakshmana had thus performed the duties including deva tarpanas and Gayatri Japas. There after both of the Kumaras prostrated to the Brahmarshi and were ready to move forward. On the way ahead, the three some reached the banks of the Sacred Ganga. There they noticed the Ashrams of Maha Munis and both Rama and Lakshmana were thrilled at the wonderful scene of the hermitages of Mahatmas deeply engaged in Tapasyas. They then enquired of the Brahmarshi Vishvamitra and smilingly the latter replied: There was a Maha Muni named Kandarpa who was in deep tapasya addressed to Sthaanu Shiva. One day, the Muni got up from his 'samaadhi' or deep trance felt that he fancifully witnessed a scene of Deveshvara Shiva along with Marud Ganas was passing through even as Maha Deva made a 'humkaara' sound. The terrifying and reverberating sound was such that the Muni in the trance got all his limbs burnt off and since then He came to be popular as the Ananga Muni or the Limbless Sage. This was reminiscent of Manmadha becoming Ananda and thus this had become popular as Ananga Muni Ashram thereafter! Having thus explained the Maharshi asked Rama Lakshmanas to rest for the night on the banks of Ganges near the Ashram. As this exchange of views were being exchanged the Ashrama vaasis from their 'doora drishti' or far sight noticed the arrival and ran ahead to warmly receive them with 'atithi satkaaraas'. Having performed the evening duties, Rama Lakshmana Vishvamitras rested there for the night.

Sarga Twenty Four

Tatah prabhāte vimale krtāhnikam arimdamau, viśvāmitram puraskrtya nadyās tīram upāgatau/ te ca sarve mahātmāno munayaḥ saṃśitavratāḥ, upasthāpya śubhām nāvam viśvāmitram athābruvan/ ārohatu bhavān nāvam rājaputrapuraskṛtah/ aristam gaccha panthānam mā bhūt kālasya paryayah/ viśvāmitras tathety uktvā tān rsīn abhipūjya ca, tatāra sahitas tābhyām saritam sāgaram gamām/ atha rāmah sarinmadhye papraccha munipungavam, vāriņo bhidyamānasya kim ayam tumulo dhvanih/ rāghavasya vacah śrutvā kautūhala samanvitam, kathayām āsa dharmātmā tasya śabdasya niścayam/ kailāsaparvate rāma manasā nirmitam saraḥ, brahmaṇā naraśārdūla tenedam mānasam saraḥ/ tasmāt susrāva sarasah sāyodhyām upagūhate, sarahprayrttā sarayūh punyā brahmasaraścyutā/ tasyāyam atulah śabdo jāhnavīm abhivartatevārisamksobhajo rāma pranāmam nivatah kuru/ tābhvām tu tāv ubhau kṛtvā praṇāmam atidhārmikau, tīram dakṣiṇam āsādya jagmatur laghuvikramau/ sa vanam ghorasamkāśam drstvā nrpavarātmajah, aviprahatam aiksvākah papraccha munipumgavam/ aho vanam idam durgam jhillikāgananāditam, bhairavaih śvāpadaih kīrnam śakuntair dārunāravaih/nānāprakā raiḥ śakunair vāśyadbhir bhairavasvanaiḥ, simhavyāghravarāhaiś ca vāranaiś cāpi śobhitam/ dhavāśvakarṇakakubhair bilvatindukapāṭalaiḥ, samkīrṇam badarībhiś ca kim nv idam dāruṇam vanam/ tam uvāca mahāteiā viśvāmitro mahāmunih. śrūvatām vatsa kākutstha vasvaitad dārunam vanam/ etau janapadau sphītau pūrvam āstām narottama, maladāś ca karūṣāś ca devanirmāṇa nirmitau/ purā vrtravadhe rāma malena samabhiplutam, kṣudhā caiva sahasrākṣam brahmahatyā yadāviśat/ tam indram snāpayan devā rsayaś ca tapodhanāh, kalaśaih snāpayām āsur malam cāsya pramocayan/ iha bhūmyām malam dattvā dattvā kāruṣam eva ca, śarīrajam mahendrasya tato harṣam prapedire/ nirmalo niskarūsas ca sucir indro yadābhavat, dadau desasya suprīto varam prabhur anuttamam/ imau janapadau sthītau khyātim loke gamisyatah, maladāś ca karūsāś ca mamāngamaladhārinau/ sādhu sādhv iti tam devāḥ pākaśāsanam abruvan, deśasya pūjām tām drstvā kṛtām śakreṇa dhīmatā/ etau janapadau sthītau dīrghakālam arimdama, maladāś ca karūsāś ca muditau dhanadhānyatah/ Kasya chintastha kaalasya yakshini kaalarupini, balam naagasahasrasthasya dhaarayantee tathaa hyubhrut/ Taatakaa naama bhadram te bharyaa sundrasya dheematah, Maareecho Rakshasah putro yasyaah Shakraparaakramah, Vtittabaahurmahaasheersho vipulaasyatanurmahaan/ Raakshaso bhairavaakaaro nityam traasayate prajaah, imou janapadou nityam vinaashayati Rahgava, Maladaamscha Karupaamscha Taatakaa dushtacharini/seyam panthānam āvārya vasaty atyardhayojane, ata eva ca gantavvam tātakāvā vanam vatah/ svabāhubalam āśritva jahīmām dustacārinīm, mannivogād imam deśam kuru nişkantakam punah/ na hi kaś cid imam deśam śakroty āgantum īdṛśam, yakṣiṇyā ghorayā rāma utsāditam asahyayā/ etat te sarvam ākhyātam yathaitad darunam vanam, yaksyā cotsāditam sarvam adyāpi na nivartate/

Next early morning Rama Lakshmanas after the prescribed duties followed Vishvamitra on the banks of Ganga and the inmates of Ananga Muni Ashram arranged for a boat and while crossing the river midway, they heard a sound of the confluence of Ganga with another water flow and while Rama asked the Sage about it, the latter explained that there was a huge lake named Brahma Manasa Sarovara as per Brahma Deva's Mind and the origin of River Sarayu was therefrom that flow and asked Rama to salute that confluence. Both Rama Lakshmanas had accordingly greeted the waters at the confluence. On crossing the River, they entered a thick and frightening forest; Vishmamitra explained that it was infested with cruel animals, startling and scary screeches of huge birds. Lions, tigers, boars, wild elephants and so on in the forest and huge trees like Ashvakarna or a kind of Shaala vrkisha, Kakubha or Arjun trees, Bela, Tinduka or tendru, paatalaand so on were presnt in that fearful forest. Vishvamitra explained about the origin of the 'Aranya': There were two villages named Malada and Kurusha as manifested by Devas

themselves; purā vṛtravadhe rāma malena samabhiplutam, kṣudhā caiva sahasrākṣam brahmahatyā yadāviśat/ tam indram snāpayan devā ṛṣayaś ca tapodhanāḥ, kalaśaiḥ snāpayām āsur malam cāsya pramocayan/ In the days of yore, Indra killed Vritraasura and hid himself in a deep drench of mud as he was aware of the maha pataaka of of Brahma hatya and also distressed with hunger and thirst for several years [Pancha Maha Patakas include: Stree hatya, Bhruna / Shishu hathya, Brahmana hatya, Go hatya and Guru hatya / Guru Bharya Gamana]. Then Devas and Tapodhana Maharshis pulled out Indra Deva and washed him with the Sacred waters of Ganga the 'Mala and Karusha' nirmalo niṣkarūṣaś ca śucir indro yadābhavat, dadau deśasya suprīto varam prabhur anuttamam/ imau janapadau sthītau khyātim loke gamiṣyataḥ, maladāś ca karūṣāś ca mamāngamaladhāriṇau/ As Indra Deva was thus washed away, these two villages had thereafter were named as Malada and Karusha and Indra blessed the mud to take the shape of two popular villages after the mud and hunger and that they would be totally rid of both.

Vishleshana on Vritrasura and Indra's Brahma hatya dosha:

Indra kills Trisira and Vritra and his penance: Prajapati Visvakarma, the famed Architect of Devas, had a son named Trisira or the three headed Brahmana boy who used to practise ascetism with one head, drink wine with another and look around in all directions with the third. Being an ardent student of Vedas, he was always engaged in severe Tapasya, especially 'Panchagni Sadhana' hanging upside down a tree branch exposed to Summer Sun, winter cold and heavy rainy season without food conquering worldly desires. Being highly suspicious of the intentions of Trisira who might pose problem his own throne, Indra despatched Apsarasas to disturb Trisira's rigorous meditation but to no avail. Indra thus killed him even when he was in meditation, even as he knew that killing a pious Brahmana in meditation was the highest possible sin. Furious with Indra's dreadful deed, Visvakarma performed an inexorable Sacrifice by 'Abhichara' process (taking revenge) reciting Atharva Veda Mantras, created a mountain like and ferocious boy with the sole objective of killing Indra. The huge boy was named Vritra or who could save his father as Vrinjina. Visvakarma equipped him with all kinds of war tactics and divine armoury including a swift and sturdy Chariot, a 'Sudarshan' like Disc, and a 'Trisula' like spear. As Vritra grew, Indra was getting nervous and approached Deva Guru to prevent any risk from the Demon. Brihaspati warned Indra that he should better be prepared for a Big Battle as the forebodings were not conducive, as after all Indra had committed a heinous crime of killing a Brahmana out of pride and fear. Meanwhile Vritra formulated his plans of attack and grouped a vengeful and desperate army of Danavas as his support. As the dooms day arrived, Indra and Devas were attacked and a furious Danava clan fought for hundred years and Indra leapt for life from Elephant 'Airavata' and ran by foot and Varuna, Vayu, Agni and all other Planetary heads and Devatas, Gandharvas, Kinnaras and so on fled too incognito. At one stage Vritra caught hold of Indra and literally devoured him. All the Deva Chiefs prayed to Deva Guru to some how save Indra and Brihaspati managed Vritra to yawn with his mouth wide open and somehow helped Indra to manage to bale out from his mountain-cave like mouth of Vritra! As Indra and Devas fled and hid themselves from Vritra, the latter ruled Heavens for thousand years and Devas continued sporadic efforts to defeat Vritra and Danavas but to no avail. Indra and Devas approached Maha Deva for help and together along with Maha Vishnu prayed to Maha Devi and got Her blessings. Some senior Sages went in a delegation to Vritra requesting for truce with Indra and Devas. Vritra agreed that the truce be agreed provided that his death should take place neither during day or night, with a dry or liquid substance or by wood, stone, thunderbolt and similar substance. The Sages agreed to the conditions. But Vritra's father Visvakarma cautioned the son that past history was a witness to Indra's vicious acts and that he would certainly strike Vritra at an opportune time; he said that Indra was such a crook that he killed the foetus of his own mother's sister Diti by entering into her womb by Anima and other Siddhis and killing it into pieces; by taking the form of Sage Gautam and cheated the Sage's wife Ahalya into bed, and recently killed Trisira on the suspicion that he might usurp his throne and so on. In course of the function like 'Suthika Sauchak'ie one month after birth till 'Samavartan' or boy returning from 'Gurukula' after studies. Meanwhile Rahul came to realise that Varun had been demanding the Naramedha and ran away. After some time when he came to know that his father was exremely ill with dropsy as a result of Varuna's curse, Rahul wanted to return home but Lord Indra advised him against it. Sage Vasishtha the well wisher Guru of Harischandra suggested that an alternate way of performing Naramedha as approved by Scriptures was neither day nor night but the twilight time. It was wrongly deduced that it was Indra who killed Vritra, but the actual position was that Maha Bhagavati entered and energised the Sea foam and terminated Vritra. That was why Maha Bhagavati was known as 'Vritranihantri'. [Srimad Maha Bhagavatha Purana stated that Maha Vishnu advised Devas to implore Sage Dadhichi to spare his backbone which was converted into a thunderbolt by Visvakarma the Architect of Devas with which was killed Vritra by Indra.] Badly hurt by the sense of guilt that he killed a Brahmana the result of which would be that of a Great Sin of 'Brahma paataka' as this woud be a second sin of killing Trisura, who was also a Bramhana, Indra felt miserable and hid himself in the stalk of a lotus in the deep ditch in Manasarovar lake. As Indra was absconding for a long time, another Indra King Nahusha was installed, and puffed up by the new position Nahusha asked for Sachi Devi to serve him, as he was the King then. Sachi asked for some time Indra befriended Vritra and when the latter was roaming on the Sea beach he took advantage of the situation and sent his thunderbolt to dip itself in the froth of the Sea waves and killed Vritra as the time to make sure that her husband was really hiding or dead. She prayed to Devi Maha Bhagavati and explained her predicament to Her. Maha Devi asked Sachi to accompany a female messenger named Visvakama; they went by an air-borne vehicle to Manasarovar where she met Indra who was frightened with the sense of guilt hiding inside the stalk of a lotus. On narratinig the happenings of the new Indra, his desire to own Sachi as his wife, her asking him for time, praying to Maha Devi and the messenger Visvakama helped locating Indra, the latter advised Sachi to allure Nahusha into a forest by a Vehicle meant for Sages. She returned to Nahusha who borrowed the 'Vimana' (air plane) of Sages who understood the deceipt of Nahusha and allowed both of them to board the vehicle saying: SARPA SARPA, which had the double meaning of 'Get In and go' and also 'Serpent, Serpent'! The Great Muni was whipped by Nahusha to let the Vehicle go fast. The Vehicle dropped Nahusha in the thick of a forest who took the shape of a huge serpent and picked up the real Indra and Sachi Devi back to Heavens safe, when all the Devas were happy that original Indra returned! Nahusha secured his liberation only after the Maha Bharata was over and the Five Pandavas passed through the forest and King Dharmaraja answered the questions correctly from his serpent formation and liberated him too. By the Grace of Devi Bhagavati, Indra was reinstated and the curse of his 'Brahma Hatya Pathaka' (killing a Brahmana) was already dissolved by way of atonement and sufferance in hiding at 'Manasarovara'. Such was the Supreme Justice that Devi Maya did to every being without favour or prejudice. The powerful 'Karma'or Fate works equitably to Tri Murthis downward to a grass blade, but the norms change with the passage of Yugas from Satya to Treta to Dvapara and Kali Yuga when the percentage of Gunas would witness radical change by way of reduction to Satvik, medium to Rajas and maximum to Tamas and when the peak reaches to Tamas, it then would be time for Universal Dissolution! [Source: Devi Purana]

Sarga24 contd:

As Maharshi explained about the origin of the ferocious Forest which was in the ancient ages was of Indra's blessed villages of Nalada and Kurusha, there appeared as follows: Kasya chintastha kaalasya yakshini kaalarupini, balam naagasahasrasthasya dhaarayantee tathaa hyubhrut/ Taatakaa naama bhadram te bharyaa sundrasya dheematah, Maareecho Rakshasah putro yasyaah Shakraparaakramah, Vtittabaahurmahaasheersho yipulaasyatanurmahaan/Raakshaso bhairayaakaaro nityam traasayate prajaah, imou janapadou nityam vinaashayati Rahgava, Maladaamscha Karupaamscha Taatakaa dushtacharini/ A rakshasi which Vishmamitra named as Tataka of mountain like form as of several elephants was the wife of Sunda; her son was Mareecha with round shoulders and huge head with open and extended mouth of giant form. They had been frightening and constatly tormenting the villagers of Malada and Karupa. These Rakshasaas had been in the regular habit of distressing the passers by for a spell of ten to fifteen miles and the entire forest had the notoriety of Tataka Vana . Vishvamitra then declared: manniyogād imam deśam kuru niskantakam punah na hi kaś cid imam deśam śakroty āgantum īdṛśam, yakṣinyā ghorayā rāma utsāditam asahyayā/ etat te sarvam ākhyātam yathaitad daruṇam vanam, yaksyā cotsāditam sarvam adyāpi na nivartate/ Rama! My instruction to you should be revived back this forest back to normalcy and worthy of beings moving around freely and fearlessly by throwing away this rakshasi Tataki and company, lest your dutiful loyalty and faithfulness would not be fulfilled.

Sarga Twenty Five

Atha tasyāprameyasya muner vacanam uttamam, śrutvā puruşaśārdūlah pratyuvāca śubhām giram/ alpavīryā yadā yakṣāḥ śrūyante munipumgava, katham nāgasahasrasya dhārayaty abalā balam/ viśvāmitro 'bravīd vākyam śṛṇu yena balottarā, varadānakṛtam vīryam dhārayaty abalā balam/ pūrvam āsīn mahāyaksah suketur nāma vīryavān, anapatyah śubhācārah sa ca tepe mahat tapah/ pitāmahas tu suprītas tasya yaksapates tadā, kanyāratnam dadau rāma tātakām nāma nāmatah/ dadau nāgasahasra sya balam cāsyāh pitāmahah, na tv eva putram yaksāya dadau brahmā mahāyaśāh/ tām tu jātām vivardhantīm rūpayauvanaśālinīm, jambhaputrāya sundāya dadau bhāryām yaśasvinīm/ kasya cit tv atha kālalsya yakṣī putram vyajāyata, mārīcam nāma durdharṣam yaḥ śāpād rākṣaso 'bhavat/ sunde tu nihate rāma agastvam rsisattamam, tātakā saha putrena pradharsavitum icchati/ rāksasatvam bhajasveti mārīcam vyājahāra sah, agastyah paramakruddhas tātakām api śaptavān/ purusādī mahāvaksī virūpā vikṛtānanā, idam rūpam apahāya dāruṇam rūpam astu te/ saiṣā śāpakṛtāmarṣā tāṭakā krodhamūrchitā, deśam utsādayaty enam agastyacaritam śubham/ enām rāghaya durvrttām yaksīm paramadārunām, gobrāhmaņahitārthāya jahi duṣṭaparākramām/ na hy enām śāpasamsṛṣṭām kaś cid utsahate pumān, nihantum trisu lokesu tvām rte raghunandana/ na hi te strīvadhakrte ghrnā kāryā narottama, cāturvarnyahitārthāya kartavyam rājasūnunā/ rājyabhāraniyuktānām esa dharmah sanātanah, adharmyām jahi kākutsha dharmo hy asyā na vidyate/ śrūyate hi purā śakro virocanasutām nṛpa., pṛthivīm hantum icchantīm mantharām abhyasūdayat/ viṣṇunā ca purā rāma bhṛgupatnī dṛdhavratā, anindram lokam icchantī kāvyamātā niṣūditā/ etaiś cānyaiś ca bahubhī rājaputramahātmabhiḥ, adharmaniratā nārvo hatāh purusasattamaih/

Shri Rama replied to Mahatma Vishvamitra that this Rakshasi being basically a woman as an 'Abala' or without physical strength as per normal usage yet is stated as one with the stature and strength coupled with severe trait of cruelty and courage. Then smilingly, the Maharshi replied that the background of Tataki was that of an yakshini married off by her father viz. Yaksha Suketaki. The latter was bound by dharma but was issueless and hence resorted to severe tapasya. Brahma Deva was pleased and the resultant boon got fructified as of the form of Tataki with a massive physical form and of the might of thousand elephants. In course of time, the girl Tataki became youthful and attractive and the father married her off to Sunda the son of Jambha. Tataki gave birth to Mareecha. Mareecha on becoming youthful played pranks with Agastya Maharshi while in deep tapasya and the Muni cursed that Mareecha would turn out as a Rakshasa. As Sunda protested violently, Agastya Muni killed Sunda too. Picking up the dead body of Sunda, both Taataki and Maricha now turned a Rakshasa roared and broke into the ashram of Agastya. Agastyah paramakruddhas tāṭakām api śaptavān, puruṣādī mahāyakṣī virūpā vikṛtānanā, idam rūpam apahāya dāruṇam rūpam astu te/Then Agastya gave a curse to Tataki to turn

out at once as a frightful faced 'Nara bhakshini Rakshasi' or a human devourer rakshasi thus the yakshini since turned as a rakshasi. Rama! Now that I have given the background of the Rakshasi, kill her off at once as you are the singular human warrior capable of destroying her. Nara Shreshtha! Do not for a moment get concerned of the established principle of dharma that 'stree hatya' be not resorted to since indeed the general concept of Raja dharma would be hardly applicable in this context. Prajapalaka Naresha ought to uphold the golden duty of being cruel and even sinful as a responsibility in the exceptionl instances and hence the instruction in this specific context. Tataka was a maha paapi and had no scruples of dharama and nyaya even bit and therefore richly deserved of straaghtaway being killed mercilessly. In the remote past, Devi Mandhara the daughter of Virochana desired to destroy the earth in entirety and that was why Lord Indra decided and killed her. Similarly the mother of Shukracharya and Maharshi Bhrigu's wife desired to destroy Indra Deva and Lord Vishnu himself killed them mercilessly. Now, follow my instructions Rama! Obey them and kill Tataki, affirmed Vishvamitra!

Sarga Twenty Six

Muner vacanam aklībam śrutvā naravarātmajaḥ, rāghavaḥ prāñjalir bhūtvā pratyuvāca dṛḍhavrataḥ/ pitur vacananirdeśāt pitur vacanagauravāt, vacanam kauśikasyeti kartavyam aviśankayā/ anuśisto 'smy ayodhyāyām gurumadhye mahātmanā, pitrā daśarathenāham nāvajñeyam ca tad vacah/ so 'ham pitur vacaḥ śrutvā śāsanād brahma vādinaḥ, kariṣyāmi na samdehas tāṭakāvadham uttamam/ gobrāhmaṇahitārthāya deśasyāsya sukhāya ca, tava caivāprameyasya vacanam kartum udyataḥ/ evam uktvā dhanurmadhye baddhvā muṣṭim arimdamaḥ, jyāśabdam akarot tīvram diśaḥ śabdena pūrayan/ tena śabdena vitrastās tātakā vanavāsinah, tātakā ca susamkruddhā tena śabdena mohitā/ tam śabdam abhinidhyāya rāksasī krodhamūrchitā, śrutvā cābhyadravad vegād yatah śabdo vinihsṛtah/ tām dṛstvā rāghavaḥ kruddhām vikṛtām vikṛtānanām, pramāṇenātivṛddhām ca lakṣmaṇam so 'bhyabhāṣata/ paśya lakşmana yakşinyā bhairavam dārunam vapuh, bhidyeran darśanād asyā bhīrūnām hṛdayāni ca/ enām paśya durādharsām māyā balasamanyitām, viniyrttām karomy adya hrtakarnāgranāsikām/ na hy enām utsahe hantum strīsvabhāvena raksitām, vīrvam cāsvā gatim cāpi hanisvāmīti me matih/ evam bruvāne rāme tu tāṭakā krodhamūrchitā, udyamya bāhū garjantī rāmam evābhyadhāvata/ tām āpatantīm vegena vikrāntām aśanīm iva, śarenorasi vivyādha sā papāta mamāra ca/ tām hatām bhīmasamkāśām dṛstvā surapatis tadā, sādhu sādhv iti kākutstham surāś ca samapūjayan/ uvāca paramaprītah sahasrāksah puramdarah, surās ca sarve samhrstā visvāmitram athābruvan/ mune kausike bhadram te sendrāh sarve marudganāh, tositāh karmanānena sneham darśaya rāghaye/ prajāpater bhrśāśyasya putrān satyaparākramān, tapobalabhrtān brahman rāghavāya nivedaya/ pātrabhūtas ca te brahmams tavānugamane dhṛtaḥ, kartavyam ca mahat karma surāṇām rājasūnunā/ evam uktvā surāh sarve hṛṣṭā jagmur yathāgatam, viśvāmitram pūjayitvā tatah samdhyā pravartate/ tato munivarah prītis tātakā vadhatositah, mūrdhni rāmam upāghrāya idam vacanam abravīt/ ihādya rajanīm rāma vasema śubhadarśana, śvah prabhāte gamisyāmas tad āśramapadam mama/

On hearing the spirited appeal to Rama to kill Rakshasi Surpanakha, the former politely greeted the Sage with folded hands and recalled his father's earnest advice to him to follow the Maharshi's advice as a command and as such he ought to follow the advice undoubtedly. So saying Rama lifted his dhanush and with strong fists and straightened it as a thunderous sound reverberated in the entire forest. On hearing the sund, Tataka wondered as to what was that about and stood up at once angrily and ran towards the direction as to where the deafening sound emerged from. As she was too tall and frightening, her figure could be seen and Rama told Lakshmana that her figure was indeed ferocious and furious and normal human beings could easily get frightened even to death! As she was a 'mayavi' possesive of evil energies she could assume several forms: Etaam pashya duraadharshaam maauaabala samanvitaam, vinivrittaam karomyadya hatakarnaagranaasikaat/ Lakshmana! Now watch and witness as to how I would snip off her ears and nose so that she would scream loud and run away!Na hy enām utsahe hantum strīsvabhā - vena rakṣitām, vīryam cāsyā gatim cāpi haniṣyāmīti me matiḥ/ As she was of the nature of woman that she could get saved as other wise I should have her disabled even to walk let alone run away by snipping

off her legs and feet! By stating so Rama jumped forward with his uncharaceristic fury ran near her, while Maharshi blessed Rama Lakshmanas raising his voice saying: May there be an auspicious victory to the Princes ushering success of glory! As soon as they jumped forward thus, there appeared a hurricane with dust and fury as the princes were suddely taken aback but swiftly realised the play of 'maya' even she sought to hurl heavy stones and boulders towards them. The angry Rama Lakshmanas swiftly cracked them to pieces with rains of their arrows, approached her huge figure jumping up on her shoulders and with their knives readily hanging on their waist belts snipped off her ears and nose while she roared and roared repeatedly. In that condition, she apeared in several forms of make belief and finally disappeared. Vishvamitra exclaimed to Rama that it was a sheer waste of kindness towards the Rakshasi who had been always seeking to break up yaginas and should be able to soon recover and repeat her ruthless deeds again and again. Vishvamitra reemphasised that she ought to be killed even now, before the fall of dusk as rakshasis recover and revive themselves at the 'asura sandhya'. In response to what the Maharshi emphasised, Rama Lakshmanas sent rains of arrows to totally disable the rakshasi. She roared ferociously and attacked the brothers while in response she fell down on earth unconsciously terminated. Indraadi Devatas felt so thrilled and applaused especially congratulating Vishvamitra for constantly exhorting the brothers for their heriosm. The groups of Devas entreated the Maharshi to methodically teach Rama Lakshmanas the complete nuances of of Dhanur Vidya as they would have to face innumerable challenges of battles to be encounted in times ahead. Prompted by what Devas advised, Brahmarshi Vishvamitra touched the heads and foreheads of Rama Lakshmanas and advised them to rest for the night in the Tataka freed forest itself and then return to the ashram next early morning.

Sarga Tewnty Seven

Atha tām rajanīm uṣya viśvāmiro mahāyaśāḥ, prahasya rāghavam vākyam uvāca madhurākṣaram/ patitusto 'smi bhadram te rājaputra mahāyaśaḥ, prītyā paramayā yukto dadāmy astrāṇi sarvaśaḥ/ devāsuragaṇān vāpi sagandharvoragān api, yair amitrān prasahyājau vaśīkṛtya jayiṣyasi/ tāni divyāni bhadram te dadāmy astrāni sarvasah, dandacakram mahad divyam tava dāsvāmi rāghava/ dharmacakram tato vīra kālacakram tathaiva ca, visnucakram tathātvugram aindram cakram tathaiva ca/vajram astram naraśrestha śaivam śūlavaram tathā, astram brahmaśiraś caiva aiṣīkam api rāghava, dadāmi te mahābāho brāhmam astram anuttamam/ Gade dve caiva kākutstha modakī śikharī ubhe, pradīpte naraśārdūla prayacchāmi nṛpātmaja/ dharmapāśam aham rāma kālapāśam tathaiva cha, vārunam pāśam astram ca dadāny aham anuttamam/ aśanī dve prayacchāmi śuskārdre raghunandana, dadāmi cāstram painākam astram nārāyanam tathā/āgneyam astra dayitam śikharam nāma nāmatah, vāyavyam prathamam nāma dadāmi tava rāghava/ astram hayaśiro nāma krauñcam astram tathaiva ca, śakti dvayam ca kākutstha dadāmi tava cānagha/ kaṅkālaṁ musalaṁ ghoraṁ kāpālam atha kaṅkaṇam, dhārayanty asurā yāni dadāmy etāni sarvaśaḥ/ vaidyādharam mahāstram ca nandanam nāma nāmataḥ, asiratnam mahābāho dadāmi nrvarātmaja/ gāndharvam astram davitam mānavam nāma nāmatah, prasvāpanaprasamane dadmi sauram ca rāghava/ Varshanam shoshanam chaiva santaapana vilaapane, maadanam chiva durdharsham kandarpadayitam tathaa/ darpaṇam śoṣaṇam caiva samtāpanavilāpane, adanam caiva durdharsam kandarpadayitam tathā/ paiśācam astram dayitam mohanam nāma nāmatah, pratīceha naraśārdūla rājaputra mahāyaśah/ tāmasam naraśārdūla saumanam ca mahābalam, samvartam caiva durdharsam mausalam ca nṛpātmaja/ satyam astram mahābāho tathā māyādharam param, ghoram tejahprabham nāma paratejo 'pakarṣaṇam/ somāstram śiśiram nāma tvāṣṭram astram sudāmanam, dāruṇam ca bhagasyāpi śīteṣum atha mānavam/ etān nāma mahābāho kāmarūpān mahābalān, grihāna paramodārān kṣipram eva nṛpātmaja/ sthitas tu prānmukho bhūtvā śucir nivaratas tadā, dadau rāmāya suprīto mantragrāmam anuttamam/ japatas tu munes tasya viśvāmitrasya dhīmataḥ, upatasthur mahārhāni sarvāny astrāni rāghavam/ ūcuś ca muditā rāmam sarve prānjalayas tadā, ime sma paramodāra kimkarās tava rāghava/ pratigrhya ca kākutsthah samālabhya ca pāninā, manasā me bhavişyadhvam iti tāny abhyacodayat/ tataḥ prītamanā rāmo viśvāmitram mahāmunim, abhivādya mahātejā gamanāvopacakrame/

Having rested in the Tataka vana itself overnight, Vishvamitra addressed Shri Rama smilingly and expressed his great satisfation at the Tataki samhara and initiated his teachings of applied astra vidya/

He stated that initially he would teach the celestial missiles of danda chakra, dharma chakra, kaala chakra, vishnu chakra, and the most powerful Aindra chakra. Then the Sage instructed the arts of application and throwing away of Indra's Vajrastra, Shiva Deva's trishula praharana, and Brahma's granted Aishikastra and Shira -cchedana astra. Then the Maharshi taught the boys of the magnificent vidya of 'gadaa praharana' or the art of battling with maces like 'modaki'- 'prahari'- shikhari of forcible applications of mace strokings, throwings and mace head rubbings. Then Vishmamitra taught the astras of 'dharma paasha-kaala paasha-and varuna paasha'. Subsequently they wer taught two kinds of dry and wet rounded applications of astras viz. 'ashani- pinaka-narayanaastras'. Then Rama Lakshmanas were taught Agneyastra fond of Agni Deva resulting in fierce flames of fire renouned as Shikharaastra- Vayavyastra which sweeps ay the opponent with virulent sweeps away. Then the Maharshi teaches the Kakutsa nandanaas of 'Hayashira Astra' - 'Krounchana Astra' and 'Shakti Dvayaastra' or of high potent twin astras attacking the opponent with doubled up potency. The Maharshi was pleased to instruct Rama Lakshmanas the astras named 'kankala'-the devastating 'musala'- and the destructive 'Kapaala' and 'Kinkini' and such astras which could lift up and throw the opponents forcefully. Then in the series were taught the famed 'Nandana Astra' of Vidyadharas as well as the associated mace of fame. The 'Gandharva Priya' astras of 'Sammohana' for relapsing into senselessness like 'Prastaavana-Prashamana-and Soumya' were taught too, besides the 'Mohanaastras' suca as for varshana-shoshanasantaapana-vilaapana-maadana which was the beloved of Kama Deva Manmadha himself, and the Gandharvapriya 'Maanava astra', besides the Pishacha priya 'Mohanastra'. Brahmarshi Vishvamitra then instructed the Astras named 'Taamasa-Soumana-Samvarta-Durjaya- Mousala-Satya-and Mayamayaastras too. Then the Maharshi imparted to Rama Lakshmanas the glorious 'Surya prabha Astra' which when once released as an arrow would destroy the enemies to ashes. Simultaneously, the Maharshi conferred 'Shishira naamaka Chandraastra', 'Tvashta (Vishvakarma) naamaka 'Daarunaastra', Bhaga Deva namaka 'Bhayankaraashtra' and 'Sheetoshna' naamaka Astra of Manu Deva. Thus with facing the able disciples of Rama Lakshmanas, the Maharshi Vishwamitra was pleased to bestow the 'astra vidya' of his entire learning. He then addressed Rama most endearingly and affirmed: 'we the sages are all your guides and followers alike as the earlier teachings of mine were not so much of teachings but for the enhancement of knowledge of the contemporary and following public. Shri Rama along with Lakshmana prostrated with reverence and gratitude and got readied to follow the Maharshi of the next steps forward. .

Sarga Twenty Eight

Pratigrhya tato 'strāṇi prahṛṣṭavadanaḥ śuciḥ gacchann eva ca kākutstho viśvāmitram athābravīt/ gṛhītāstro 'smi bhagavan durādharṣaḥ surair api, astrāṇām tv aham icchāmi samhāram munipumgava/ evam bruvati kākutsthe viśvāmitro mahāmuniḥ, samhāram vyājahārātha dhṛtimān suvrataḥ śuciḥ/ satyavantam satyakīrtim dhṛṣṭam rabhasam eva ca, pratihārataram nāma parāmmukham avāmmukham/ lakṣākṣaviṣamau caiva dṛḍhanābhasunābhakau, daśākṣaśatavaktrau ca daśaśīrṣaśatodarau/ padmanābhamahānābhau dundunābhasunābhakau, jyotiṣam kṛśanam caiva nairāśya vimalāv ubhau/ yaugandharaharidrau ca daityapramathanau tathā, pitryam saumanasam caiva vidhūtamakarāv ubhau/ karavīrakaram caiva dhanadhānyau ca rāghava, kāmarūpam kāmarucim moham āvaraṇam tathā/ jṛmbhakam sarvanābham ca santānavaraṇau tathā, bhṛśāśvatanayān rāma bhāsvarān kāmarūpiṇaḥ/ pratīccha mama bhadram te pātrabhūto 'si rāghava, divyabhāsvaradehāś ca mūrtimantaḥ sukhapradāḥ/ rāmam prāñjalayo bhūtvābruvan madhurabhāṣiṇaḥ, ime sma naraśārdūla śādhi kim karavāma te/ gamyatām iti tān āha yatheṣṭam raghunandanaḥ/, mānasāḥ kāryakāleṣu sāhāyyam me kariṣyatha/ atha te rāmam āmantrya kṛtvā cāpi pradakṣiṇam, evam astv iti kākutstham uktvā jagmur yathāgatam/ sacha tān rāghavo jñātvā viśvāmitram mahāmunim, gacchann evātha madhuram ślaksnam vacanam abravīt/

kim nv etan meghasamkāśam parvatasyāvidūrataḥ, vṛkṣaṣaṇḍam ito bhāti param kautūhalam hi me/darśanīyam mṛgākīrṇam manoharam atīva ca, nānāprakāraiḥ śakunair valgubhāṣair alamkṛtam/niḥṣṛtāḥ sma muniśreṣṭha kāntārād romaharṣaṇāt, anayā tv avagacchāmi deśasya sukhavattayā/8a sarvam me śamsa bhagavan kasyāśramapadam tv idam, samprāptā yatra te pāpā brahmaghnā duṣṭacāriṇaḥ/

Having acquired the fantastic knowledge of the magnificent depths of astra-shastra vidya, Rama on the move addressed the Maharshi that as he had since acquired the celestial awareness of all the viginaana, the astra samhara vidhi or the methodology of the reversal of the astras too be kindly taught to them. The Maharshi replied: Rama! What all that had been taught so far was perhaps incomplete and hence the following other astras be also worthy of further learning; the Maharshi therefore complemented additional mantras too viz. Satyavan-Sarva keerti-Dhrishtha-Rabhasa-Pratihaaratara-Praangmukha-Avaangmukha-Lalshya- Alakshya- Dhridha naabha-Sunaabha-Dashaaksha- Shatavaktra- Dasha sheersha- Shatodara-Padma naabha-Maha naabha-Dundunaabha-Svanaabha-Jyotisha- Shakuna-Nairasya- Vimala-Daityanaashaka yougandhara- Vinidra-Shuchibaahu- Maha baahu-Nishkali- Virucha-Saarchimaali- Dhriti maali-Vrittimaan- Ruchira-Pitrya- Soumanasa-Vidhuta- Makara-Pariyaara- Rati-Dhana- Dhaanya-Kaamarupa- Kaama ruchi-Moha- Aavarana-Jumbhala- Sarpanaadha-Panthyaana- Varuna- all these being the sons of Krushaasha Prajapati all of them being the energetic and radiant forms. Rama Lakshmanas learnt these astra mantras too with humility and dedication even as they were bestowed with fire like purity. Having futher learnt the reversal mantra stanzas too, Rama Lakshmanas prostrated before the Maharshi repeatedly out of irrevocable gratitude. As the trio of Rama Lakshmana Vishvamitras proceeded further, they spotted a mountain and enquired of the name and fame of the same. The mountain was full of greenery even seen from a distance. As they went nearby they located an ashram and Rama asked Vishvamitra about the same.

Sarga Twenty Nine

Aatha tasyāprameyasya tad vanam paripṛcchatah, viśvāmitro mahātejā vyākhyātum upacakrame/ eṣa pūrvāśramo rāma vāmanasva mahātmanah, siddhāśrama iti khvātah siddho hv atra mahātapāh./ etasminn eva kāle tu rājā vairocanir baliḥ, nirjitya daivatagaṇān sendrām's ca samarudgaṇān, kārayām āsa tad rājyam trisu lokesu viśrutah/ bales tu yajamānasya devāh sāgnipurogamāh, samāgamya svayam caiva visnum ūcur ihāśrame/ balir vairocanir visno yajate yajñam uttamam, asamāpte kratau tasmin svakāryam abhipadyatām/ ye cainam abhivartante yācitāra itas tatah, yac ca yatra yathāvac ca sarvam tebhyah prayacchati/ sa tvam surahitārthāya māyāyogam upāśritah, vāmanatvam gato visno kuru kalyāṇam uttamam/ ayam siddhāśramo nāma prasādāt te bhaviṣyati, siddhe karmaṇi deveśa uttiṣṭha bhagavann itah/ atha viṣṇur mahātejā adityām samajāyata, vāmanam rūpam āsthāya vairocanim upāgamat/ trīn kramān atha bhikṣitvā pratigrhya ca mānataḥ, ākramya lokāml lokātmā sarvabhūtahite ratah/ mahendrāva punah prādān nivamva balim ojasā, trailokvam sa mahātejās cakre sakravasam punah/ tenaisa pūrvam ākrānta āśramah śramanāśanah, mayāpi bhaktyā tasyaisa vāmanasyopabhujyate/ etam āśramam āyānti rākṣasā vighnakāriṇaḥ, atra te puruṣavyāghra hantavyā dustacārinah/ adva gacchāmahe rāma siddhāśramam anuttamam, tad āśramapadam tāta tavāpy etad yathā mama/ tam dṛṣtvā munayah sarve siddhāśramanivāsinah, utpatyotpatya sahasā viśvāmitram apūjayan/ yathārham cakrire pūjām viśvāmitrāya dhīmate, tathaiva rājaputrābhyām akurvann atithikriyām/ muhūrtam atha viśrāntau rājaputrāv arimdamau, prāñjalī muniśārdūlam ūcatū raghunandanau/ adyaiva dīkṣām praviśa bhadram te munipumgava, siddhāśramo 'yam siddhaḥ syāt satyam astu vacas tava/ evam ukto mahātejā viśvāmitro mahāmuniḥ, praviveśa tadā dīkṣām niyato niyatendriyaḥ/ kumārāv api tām rātrim uṣitvā susamāhitau, prabhātakāle cotthāya viśvāmitram avandatām

Brahmarshi replied Shri Rama's query as to whose was the ashram that was sighted. That indeed was the famed 'Siddha Ashram' of Vamana the incarnation of Maha Vishnu attained 'siddhi' and narrated the legend of Vamana. King Virochana's son the universally glorious Bali Chakravarti who conquered Tri

Lokas including Indra Deva himself along with Devas, Marud ganaas and all the celestials too. Bali decided to perform a Maha Yagina and commanded Agni and other relevant Devas to appear instantly. Then Indraadi Devas approached Maha Vishnu to apprise of the then happenings especially of the proceedings at the Maha Yagina of Bali Chakravarti, his daanaas of 'go-bhumi-suvarna adi sampatthi' and so on. Then they made a special request to appear in the context of the Bali's ongoing yagina to redeem the celestials from their bondage and suppression. Sa tvam surahitārthāya māyāyogam upāśritaḥ, vāmanatvam gato viṣṇo kuru kalyāṇam uttamam/ They entreated Maha Vishnu to take up human incarnation to bring back the universe to normalcy and reassert 'Dharma and Nyaaya' and descend down to earth at Yoga maya ashram as of Vamana swarupa and take the daanaas at the Yagina. Shri Rama! At that very time in response to Indraadi Deva's supplication, Maharshi Kashyapa along with his wife Devi Aditi appeared and prayed to Vishnu that the latter was indeed the preserver of the Universe as per the desha- kaala-parishtitis as the omniscient. Vishnu responded to ask for a boon from the Maharshi Couple desired that Maha Vishnu be born as their dear son. Thus Maha Vishnu descended as a Brahmachaari Brahmana Kumara. Atha viṣṇur mahātejā adityām samajāyata, vāmanam rūpam āsthāya vairocanim upāgamat/ trīn kramān atha bhiksitvā pratigrhya ca mānatah, ākramva lokāmil lokātmā sarvabhūtahite ratah/ mahendrāya punah prādān niyamya balim ojasā, trailokyam sa mahātejās cakre sakravasam punah/ Thus Maha Vishnu was born to Aditi Devi and having assumed the form of the short statured Brahmachari Vamana, stayed at the SIDDHASHRAMA appeared at the Bali Chakravarti's yagina, sought a meagre three feet of Bhumi for his tapasya, and occupied three lokas suppressed Bali Chakravarti to the nether lokas and reinstated Mahendra as the King of Indra Loka! Maharshi Vishvamitra thus narrated the background of the Ashram. Many times Rakshasaas keep tormenting the 'ashrama vaasi tapasvis' and they need to be punished too. Then Rama Lakshmanas followed the Brahmarshi and entered the ashram when the inmates warmly welcomed them with unprecedented joy and excitement. Simulteneously they expressed their anguish that the evil minded groups of Rakshasaas for long times now spilt their efforts to dutifully perfom their yagin karyaas. The very next morning the group of Rishis initiated an yagina having taken the blessings of Maharshi Vishvamitra.

<u>Vishleshana on Bali Chakravarti and Vaamanaavataara: Maha Puranas especially Matsyaadis described but Vamana Purana is quoted:</u>

Chakravarti Bali of Daityas took over the reins of Trilokas from Virochana the son of Prahlada and the great Grand father of Hiranyakashipu, Devas lost power in Swarga and the mighty Mayasura and Shambara flew the Flag of Vijayanti too. Yet, the Daityas were steeply engaged in Dharmik deeds, and they were guarding the Sky providing stability all-around. There was complete absence of sinners in the Kingdom and Dharma was predominate; Dharma was established on four feet except on one; all the Deputised Kings were performing Administration ideally and all the Four Varnaas of population were observing Dharma perfectly. It was at that opportune time that the Coronation of Bali Chakravarti took place amidst the chantings of Victory by all concerned. Devi Lakshmi appeared and congratulated at Bali's Elevation to Supremacy along with her 'Amsaas' like the Devis named Hreem, Kirti, Dyuti, Prabha, Dhruti, Kshama, Bhuti, Ruddhi, Divya, Mahamati, Shruti, Smriti, Ida, Shanti, Pushti, Kriya, and also select Apsaraas. Meanwhile, Devataas were disillusioned at their discomfiture and the climax of Bali's high status especially because of Daitya King's unchallenged success owing to his Dharma Paalana and the lack of any record of Evil deeds by Daityas; they were also denied their shares of Yahna Phalaas. They approached their mother Aditi for solace and advice and in turn she reached her husband Kashyapa Muni. Kashyapa found the situation was delicate and even Brahma might find it difficult as strictly speaking the record of Daityas was above board! Brahma advised that the only way out would be that Tapasya and Aditi would perform strict Tapasya to Vishnu Deva and seek the most difficult boon of Vishnu taking birth as their son! The Couple reached the Banks of Kshira Samudra at a holy spot called Amrita, performed austere Tapasya and 'Kaamada Vrata' for thousand years by controlling their Indriyas, observing silence and Kashyapa chanted Veda Yukta Sukta called Parama Stuti as follows: 'Deva Deva, Eka Shringa, Vrishaarchi, Sindhuvrusha, Vrishaakapi, Suravrisha, Anaadi Sambhava, Rudra, Kapila, Vishvaksena, Sarva Bhuapati, Dhruva, Dharmaadharma, Vaikuntha, Vrishaa Karta, Anadi -

madhya nidhana, Dhanajaya, Shrutishrava, Prushna Teja, Nijajaya, Amriteshaya, Sanaatana, Tridhaama, Tushita, Mahaa Tatwa, Lokanaatha, Padmanaabha, Virinchi, Bahurupa, Akshaya, Akshara, Havyabhuja, Khandaparashu, Shakra, Munjikesha, Hamsa, Mahaa Dakshina, Hrishikesha, Sukshma, Mahaniyama dhara, Viraja, Lokapratishtha, Arupa, Agraja, Dharmaja, Dharmanaabha, Gabhastunaabha, Shatakratunaabha, Chandra Ratha, Surya Teja, Aja, Sahasra shira, Sahasrapaada, Adhomukha, Maha Purusha, Purushotthama, Sahasrabaahu, Sahasra Murti, Sahasrasya, Sahasra Sambhava! I prostrate before you and touch your feet; You are commended as Sahasratva, Pushpahaasa, Charama / Sarvotthama; You are known as Voushta and Vashatkaara; You are Agrya or Sarvotthama, Yagna Praashita or Bhokta, Sahasra dhaara; You are the Bhur-Bhuva-Swah Swarupa; Veda Vedya or Recognisable through Vedas; Brahmashaya, Brahmanapriya; Dhyouh or Sarvavyapi like the Sky; Maatarishwa or Speedy like Vayu; Dharma, Hota, Potha / Vishnu; Mantaa, Netaa, Homa hetu or the Root Cause of Homa; Vishvateja, Agrya or Sarvasreshtha, Subhanda or like the Huge Patrarupa encompassing all Dishaas; You are worthy of Yajana or Ijya; Sumedha, Samidha, Mati, Gati, and Daataa; You are Moksha, Yoga, Srashta or the Supreme Creator; Dhata / Dhaarana and Poshana Karta; Parama Yagna, Soma, Dikshita, Dakshina and Vishwa; You are Sthavira, Hiranyanaabha, Narayana, Trinayana, Adityavarna, Aditya Teja, Maha Purusha, Purushottama, Adi Deva, Suvikrama, Prabhakara, Shambhu, Swayambhu, Bhugtaadi, Maha Bhuta, Vishwa Bhuta, and Vishwa; You are the Samsaara Raksha, Pavitra, Vishwa bhava or Vishwa Srashta, Urthwa Karma or Uttama Karma, Amrita or Everlasting, Divaspati, Vaachaspati, Ghrutaarchi, Anantakarma, Vamsha, Pragvamsha, Vishwapa or Vishwa Paalaka, Varada or the Bestower of boons; and finally, You are the Hotraatma or who is responsible for producing Agnihotra by way of the seventeen counted Aksharaas or Letters viz. Four 'Aashraavayas' plus four 'Astu Shroushads' plus two 'Yajaas' plus five 'Yajaamahyes' and again two 'Vashats' Aditi made a commendatory appeal to Janaardana seperately and said: 'Prabho! I am grieving with unimaginable anguish which could be destroyed only by you. My Salutations to You Bhagavan who sports lotus garlands and Pushakara malaas; You are the Adi Vidhata who is an embodiment of propitiousness! You are Kamala Nayana, Padmanaabha, the Creator of Brahma, Atmajanma, Lakshmi Pati, Indriya damana, worthy of darshan only by Samayama Yogis, Sudarshana and Khadga dhaari! Only those 'Atmagyanayuta' Yagnakartas, Yogadhyaanis and Yoga Saadhakaas could aspire to visualise your Gunarahita Brahma Swarupa! May I pay my obeisances to you Sharanga Dhari Deva! as you occupy the whole world in a Gross Form and yet possess the tiniest Form which is invisible! Those persons who do not make efforts to visualise you do not get your Darshan any way, but those who have no other desire in life excepting you would readily witness you are blessed with your image in their hearts always for the asking! Your unbelievable Jyoti or extraordinary Radiance is allpervading in the entire Universe in which you are present invisibly and contrarily the Universe is but an integral segment of You Parama Deva! In other words, You are all over the Universe, the Universe was created by you and in fact the Universe is of Yours! My humble greetings to you the original Prajapati! Pitara Sreshtha! Devata Swami! Shri Krishna! Here are my Pranaams again and again! You are the Supreme Objective of Pravritti and Nivritti Deeds (Ritualistic and Directly unswerving approach) and the Unique Decider of bestowing Swarga or Moksha the Eternal Bliss! My namashkaaraas to you Vishuddha Swarupa as even my taking your very name and memory would smash all my sins! You are the Avinaashi or Indestructible; Akhilaadhara or the Mighty Clutch of the Entirety; the Only Reliever of the Trap of Birth-Death Cycle! You are perceptible through Yagnaas, the Yagna Murti, the Yagna Sthita and Yagna Purusha! Vedas commend you, Vedajnaas sing your hymns, You are the 'Vidwadjanaashraya' or the one who is fond of the Company of Vidwadjanaas. My Most Revered Paramaatma! The whole Vishwa is your Creation, Sustenance and also the Termination thus You are the Vishva Kartha, Vishva Bharta and the Vishwa Harta! I pray to that Highest Magnificence who materialised Surya Swarupa and destroyed darkess for good. To that Sarveswara, the Ajanma, Avyaya, Srashta and Vishnu who is fully aware of the Truth about me and the transparency and earnestness of my Prayers that I am prostrating with humility craving him to grant my wish! As both Kashyapa Muni and Devi Aditi made their Soul-full Prayers, the impossible Darshan of Bhagavan Vishnu appeared and granted the wish that he would indeed assume His Incarnation with a view to reinstate Indra and Devas to Swarga and Trilokas.

As Aditi got concieved and Bhagavan Vishnu agreed to do so, Prithvi got tremored, Mountains were shaken, and Sapta Samudras were agitated with wobbles of waves and there was strangeness all-around! Bali Chakravarti felt that there were considerable changes in the Nature as mountians were trembling and high Sea tides were on new high and more so Daityas were experiencing paleness and loss of their normal instincts of courage, assertiveness and egoism. Bali approached his grand father Prahlada and asked for the causes of these omens and premonitions. Parama Bhakta Prahlada deeply meditated Bhagavan Srihari and visualised the latter in the Garbha of Devi Aditi and had fleeting scenes of Ashtaadasha Vasus, Ekadasha Rudras, Dwadasha Adityas, two Ashvini Kumaraas, Forty Nine Maruts, Sandhyas, Vishwa Devas, Gandharvas, Nagas, Rahkshasaas, his Son Virochana, Bali Chakravarti, Jambha, Kujumbha, Narakasura, Baana, and several other Daityas, Pancha Bhutas, Seas, Mountains, Rivers, Satpa Dwipaas, Brahma, Shiva, Nava Grahas, Daksha and other Prajapatis, Sapta Rishis and so on. Prahlada gave a heavy exhalation and conveyed the datails what all he visioned and said that the Greatest Narayana in would soon be descending on Earth in his incarnation as Vamana Deva! Bali could not comprehend the full import of what Prahlada underlined and expressed his surprise whether Vamana Deva coud be ever comparable with the Senior most Rakshasaas like Viprachitta, Shibi, Sankha, Ayamshanku, Hayashira, Ashwa Shira, Bhangha kaara, Maha Hanu, Kakkuraaksha and Durjaya. As Bali talked in such thoughtless comparisons with Paramatma and some examples of Danavas howerver mighty they might be, Parhlada got highly infuriated and shouted at Bali that there could not be bigger immature fool and hollow minded; he said that Bali's evil frame of mind would certainly lead the entire Vamsha of Daityas to doom. 'Bali! I have not come across a King of this kind who is evil-minded and dull-witted that could blame the Devaadhi Deva, Maha Bhaga, Sarva Vyaapi Vaasudeva; the names of the Daityas that you have taken as the so-called Mighty as also of Brahma and Devas were created by that Paramatma; indeed with just one 'Amsha' of myriad of his Amshaas, he created the whole 'Charaacharaas' and 'Samasta Vibhutis' or Manifestations including you, me, Daityas, Parvataas, Vrikshaas, Rivers, Forests, Samudraas, Sapta Dwipas, and so on and He is Sarva-Vandya, Sarva-Vyapi, and Sarva-Vidita; would there be a Vivekaheen-Murkha-Durbuddhi like you who would pass judgments on Him! What-ever are the reasons due to which you are faulting your Guru/ your father, or his father who is me or the Parama Guru who is Paramatma might be best known to you! Your talking slightingly against Narayana is by far the worst since it tantamounts to cutting my head and it is to set right those feelings of pride and egotism that I am giving you a 'Shaap' / Curse that soon you would be dislocated from your Kingdom, Aishwarya, and ego. Chakravarti Bali was distraught and distressed at this most unforunate happening of Prahlada's curse and was ashamed of himself for his rash, thoughtless and sinful belittling of Bhagavan's uniqueness which had understandably stirred up the anger of a legendary Bhakta of the unparalelled stature of Prahlada. He confessed that there was a total loss of his mental faculties when he conversed at that time due to superciliousness and over-enthusiasm of having defeated Devas which propelled his traits of arrogance; indeed his remarks had correctly hurt his grand father who was fully justified in giving him an irreparable curse but far worse than the curse, his behaviour which hurt elders, like Prahlada, who built a reputation of the family as Narayana Bhaktas, was sullied in the memory of future generations. This was humiliating to the Vamsha that he was squarely responsible! He begged of Prahlaadaa's forgiveness which he did not deserve and would feel repentant ever day and night. Prahlaada appretiated Bali's remorse and said that he was incensed up at that moment and the anger led him to obsession which lost his mentral equilibrium that caused the pronoucement of the curse, for which he felt exremely sad. But a lesson was provided to Bali and fully converted him as a Parama Bhakta of Narayana.

Mean while, Devi Aditi deliverd a lovely male child in short stature when Nature assumed a blossomed freshness that was rare, the Gagana Mandala was clean without any trace of pollution and Vayu was pleasantly soft and nicely odoured quite unfamiliar in the human world. The proud parents invited Brahma to perform Jaatakarma and Namakarana as **Vamana Murti.Brahma Stuti to Vamana Deva :**It was at that time when Brahma could not suppress his emotions and broke in his ecstasy into an instant Eulogy as follows: Victory to you Adheesha, Ajeya, Vishwa Guru Hari, Ananta who is devoid of Birth and End; Achyuta, Ajiota, Asesha, Avyakta Sthita Bhagavan, Paramaartha Purti Nimita, Sarvajna who distinguishes Jnaana and Jneya, Asesha Jagat Saakshi, Jagat Kartaa, Jagat Guru, Jagat-Ajagat Sthita or

Existent in Charaachara; Paa lana-Pralaya Swami, Akhila, Asesha, Sarva Hridaya Sthita; Adi-Madhyama-Anta Swarupa; Samasta Jnaana Murti, Uttama, Visualisable only by Mumukshaas, Mukti Sadhana by Yoga sevitaas, Nitya Prasanna and Parameshwara who is ornamented by Dama, Kshama and such other qualities; Atyanta Sukshma Swarupa, Durjeya or realisable with great difficulty; Sthula (Gross) and at the sametime AtiSukhsma (Tiniest); Indriya Sahita and Indriya Rahita; Mayaayuta yogastitha; Sesha shaayi Avinaashi; Bahurupa dhaari; Ekadamshtra Prithvyoddhaara Varaha Rupa or Varaha Rupa who lifted Earth with a single tusk; Hiranyakahipa vakshasthala vidirna Nrisimha; Maya Vaamanarupa dhara; Mayaavruta Samsaara dharana Parameswara or the Holder of Samsara surrounded by Maya; Dhyaananeka Swarupa dhaarana karaa; Eka Vidhi Vibho!You are the epitome of Buddhi / Intellect; Jagaddharma marga Sthita Prabho! Myself, Shankara, Indra, Sanakaadi Munis and Maha Yogiganaas had failed to understand about you as we are all shrouded by Vishnu Maya; who else could gauge your personality excepting your self! Only those who are dedicated to you and are ever-engaged with your constant 'Araadhana' could have a chance of pleasing you and none else. Ishwareshwara! Ishaana! Vibho! Bhavana! Vishwatma! Pruthulochana! Vishwa Prabhava or Srishti kaarana! Vishnu! May you grow from strength to strength! Victory to you Paramatma!' As Bhagavan Hrishikesha was prayed to by Brahma, the former smiled and said that in the past Indra and Devas and Kashyapa Muni as also Devi Aditi paid their homges and recited Stotras to him and he assured that he would assume the incarnation of Vamamna Murti: he further assured that he would have Indra and Devatas reinstated as Trilokaadhipatis soon. In course of time Brahma offered Krishna Mrigacharma to Bhagavan and Brihaspati performed Upanayana and Yagnopaveeta dharana; Marichi Maharshi gifted Palaasha danda, Visishtha gave kamandalu, Angira Muni gave a Silk Vastra, Pulaha Muni gave a mat as Aasana, and various other Munis taught the Vatu the purport of Omkaara, Vedas, Shastras, Sankhya Yoga, Darshana Yuktis etc. Having been trained in all these disciplines, Vamana Deva had one fine morning left for the Yagna Shaala of Bali Chakravarti as the latter was executing a SacredYagna while carrying his mat, danda /stick, chhatra / umbrella and kamandulu / water vessel. Danava Guru Shukracharya was aware that Vishnu Deva in the form of Vamana Murti was arriving at the Yagna and briefed Bali Chakravarti to be extremely careful as Vishnu was a sauve and highly talented person to put words in the mouths of the opponents. The Guru reminded Chakravarti that the latter denied the age-old practice of rights to yagna's shares to Devataas and that Vamana Murti might as well ask for the revival of the practice but those shares were now enjoying by Danava Chiefs. Bali replied to Danava Guru that in case Vishnu in the incarnation of Vamana Murti came and requested for any thing then how could a King say 'no' to it! Bali told the Danava Guru: Brahman katha -maham bruyaamanyapihi yachitah, Naastiti kim Devasya Samsaarasyaaghahaarinah/ Vratopa- vaasairvividhairyah Prabhurgrunhatey Harih, Sa mey vakshyati deheeti Govindah kimato -dhikam? Naasteeti yanmayanoktamanyeshaamapi yaachataam, Vakshyaami kathamaaya -tey tadadya chaamarechutey/Shlaagha eva hi veeraanam Daanaacchaapt samaagamah, Na badhaakaari yadyaanam tadanga Balavat smrutam/ (Brahmanaachaarya! How could I deny any body requesting me for a favour! And if that Supreme Deva asked me for a charity, then what else would be the alternative! While Parameswara received the fruits of Vrataas, Upavaasaas, and so on from one and all, and if that Parameswara himself asked a boon from me, could there be a greater fortune to me! When even an ordinary person approached me for a favour, then too that could not be denied by a King; then when Narayana himself asked for it, could such an opportunity presented itself, this chance could never indeed be missed. Even if there are difficulties in executing a charity, the value of charity would get multiplied and 'Veera purushaas' would never deter from performing the deed) Having said the above, Bali asked Shukraachaarya: YatagjnaatwaaMunisreshtha!Daanavighna karenamey, Naiva Bhavyam Jagannaathey Govidey samupastithey! (By understanding the above, Munisreshta! Please do not create 'Daana Vighnaas' or hurdles in the execution of the Charity!). As Vamana Deva arrived at the Yagna shaala, Bali welcomed him, offered 'Arghya', 'Aasana', Puja and offered him limitless gold, jewellery, elephants, horses, cows, women, clothes, bunches of villages or townships or whatever would be his wish! Vamana Deva replied smilingly: Mamagnisharanaarthaaya dehi Rajan Padatrayam, Suvarnagraamaratnaadi tadarthibhyah pradeeyataam/ (Raja! Please provide to me three feet of land to enable me to set up an Agni- Shaala). Bali said that after all three feet would be nothing as he could ask

for a lakh of feet which could be given away, but Vamana Deva replied that he was indeed satisfied with that much of Bhumi and if the King were to offer more he might as well provide to the other needy! Bali Chakravarti readily agreed not understanding the implication and as the deed of Daana was being executed and Vamana Deva extended his hand to the King and expanded his Vamana Rupa gradually immediately: Sarva Devamayam rupam darshayaamaasa tatkshanaat/ Chandra Suryoutu nayaney dyouh shirascharanou Kshitih, Paadaangulyah Pishaachaastu Hastaangulya –scha Gruhakaah/ Vishvedevaascha jaanusthaa janghey Saadhyaah Surottamaah, Yakshaa nakheshu sambhutaa rekhaapsaraastathaa/ Drushtirrukshaanya seshaani keshaah Suryamshvah Prabhoh, Taarakaa romakupaani romeshu cha Maharshayah/ Baahavo vidishatasya Dishaah Shrotrey Mahatmanah, Ashvinou Shravaney tasya naasaa Vayurmahaatmanah/ Prasadey Chandramaa Devo Mano Dharmah samaashritah, Satyasyaabhavad Vaani Jihvaa Devi Saraswati/ Greevaarditirdeva mataa Vidyaastadvalayastathaa, Swargadwaaramabhunmaitrah twashtaa Pushaa cha vai bhruvou/ Mukhe Vaishvaanarschaascha vrushanou tu Prajaapatih, Hridayamcha Param Brahma Pumstwam vai Kashapo Munih/ Prushthesya Vasavo Devaa Marutah Sarva saandhishu, Vakshasthaley tathaa Rudro Dharryachaasya Mahaarnavah/ Udarey chaasya Gandharyaa Marutascha Mahaabalaah, Lakshmirmedhaa Dhrutih Kaantih Sarv Vidyaascha vai Katih/ Sarvajyoteesham Yaaneeha Tapascha Paramam mahat, Tasya Devaadhi Devasya tejah prodbhutamuttamam/ Tanou Kukshishu Vedaascha jaanuni cha Mahaamakhaah, Ishtayah pashavaschaasya Dwujaanaam cheshtitaanicha/ Tasya Devamayam rupam drushtaa Vishnormahaatmanah, Upasarpanti tey Daityaah patangaa iya paavaakam/ Chakshurastu Mahaa Daityaah Paadaangushtham gruheetavaan, Dantaabhyaam tasya vai greevaa mangushtheynaahana dharih/ Prathamya Saryaansuraan Paadahastathalairyibhuh, Krutwaa Rupam Mahaakaayam Samjahaaraashu Modineem/ Tasya Vikramato Bhumim Chandraadityaou stanaantarey, Nabho Vikramamaanasya sakthidesho stitathaarvibhou/Param Vikramaanasya jaanumuley Prabhaakarou, Vishnoraastaam sthitasyaitow Devapaalana jkarmani/ Jitwaa Lokatrayam taamscha hatwaachaasura pungavaan, Purandaraaya Trailokyam dadou Vishnururukramah/

(Instantly, Vamana Murti displayed his Virat Swarupa: Chandra and Surya were his two Eyes, Shy was his head, Prithvi his feet, Pishachaas were his foot-fingers, Gruhyakaas were his hand fingers, Vishwa Deva Ganaas were in his jaanus /knees,Sadhyas were his janghaas, Yakshaas were his nails, Apsarsaas were his palm lines, Nakshatras were his Eye sight, Surya kiranas were his hairs, Stars were his body hairs, Maharshiganaas were in the hair roots, Vidishas were his hands, Dishaas were his ears, Ashwini Kumars were his faculty of hearing, Vayu was his nose, Chandra Deva was his joking faculty, Dharma Deva was his thinking capacity, Satya was his voice and Saraswati was his tongue, Deva Mata Aditi was his neck, Vidya was his valiyaas or long poles; Pushas were his eye brows, Swarga dwar was his anus, Vaishvanara his face, Prajapati his vrushanaas, Param Brahma was his heart, Kashyapa Muni was his Pumstwa, Vasu Devata was his back, Marutganaas were his Sandhis, Rudra was his Vakshasthala, Mahaarnavaa was his Dhairya, Gangharvas were in his stomach; Lakshmi, Medha, Dhruti, Kaanti and all Vidyaas were in his 'Kati Pradesha'; the luster and radiance in the total Universe as also the Tapo teja or the power of meditation was the reflection of the magnificence of Natayana; Vedas and Sciptures and the huge Yagnaas and the Sacred Deeds of the Virtuous like Maharshis and Brahmanas were all inside in his 'kukshi' or belly. On viewing the Paramatma's 'Virat Swarupa', the so called 'Mahaasuraas' referred to earlier in ignorance by Chakravarti Bali before Prahlada's curse to him got burnt off like flies before a gigantic out berak of Fire! Having thus occupied the Universe in totality including the sub-terrain Sapta Paatalaas, Vamana Deva stated that since Bali took the water in his hand and donated the THREE FEET of Land, and blessed him to be the King of the Sapta Paatalaas and granted him long life till the and of Manvantara of the on-going Vaisawata Manu. He also blessed Bali that all the 'Homa Phalas' at the time of Shraddhas to be performed even by Brahmanas, besides incomplete and defective Vratas, Agni Kaaryaas without ghee, and Kusha grass roots as also the daanas without detachment would belong to Bali and his followers.

Ityetat kathitam asya Vishnor mahatmyamutthamam, Shrunuyaadyo Vamanasya Sarva Paapaih pramuchyatey/ Bali Prahlaada samvaadam mantritam Bali Shakrayo, Baleyrvishnoscha charitam ye smarishyanti Maanavaah/ Naadhayo Vyadhayesteshaam na cha Mohaakulam Manah, Chuturaajye nijam Raajyamishta- praptim Viyogawaan/ Samaapnoti Mahabhaagaa Narah shrutwa kathaamimaam/ Brahmano Vedamaapnoti Kshatriyo Jayatey Mahim, Vaishyo Dhana Samruddim cha Shudrah Sukhamaampunuyaat, Vaamanasya Matmyam shrunvan Paapaih pramuchyatey/ (Whosoever hears of this narration of Vamana Charitra and Mahatmya would have no 'Adhi-Vyadhis' or exteral and internal problems and be freed from sins; Brahmanas would attain Veda Prapti, Kshatriyas of Victories, Vaishyas of Dhana Samruddhi and Shudras enjoy happiness; As they read or hear of Prahlada-Bali Samvada or of Bali and Vishnu Charitra, one would aviod situations of Official hindrances and achieve the desired goals of life.)]

Sarga Thirty

Atha tau deśakālajñau rājaputrāv arimdamau, deśe kāle ca vākyajñāv abrūtām kauśikam vacah/ bhagavañ śrotum icchāvo yasmin kāle niśācarau, samrakṣaṇīyau tau brahman nātivarteta tatkṣaṇam/ evam bruvānau kākutsthau tvaramānau vuvutsayā, sarve te munayah prītāh praśaśamsur nrpātmajau/ adya prabhṛti sadrātram raksatam rāghavau yuvām, dīksām gato hy esa munir maunitvam ca gamisyati/ tau tu tad vacanam śrutvā rājaputrau yaśasvinau, anidrau şaḍahorātram tapovanam arakṣatām/ upāsām cakratur vīrau yattau paramadhanvinau, rarakṣatur munivaram viśvāmitram arimdamau/ atha kāle gate tasmin şaşthe 'hani samāgate, saumitram abravīd rāmo yatto bhava samāhitaḥ/ rāmasyaivam bruvāṇasya tvaritasya yuyutsayā, prajajvāla tato vediḥ sopādhyāyapurohitā/ mantravac ca yathānyāyam yajño 'sau sampravartate, ākāśe ca mahāñ śabdah prādur āsīd bhayānakah/ āvārya gaganam megho yathā prāvṛṣi nirgatah, tathā māyām vikurvānau rākṣaṣāv abhyadhāvatām/ mārīcaś ca subāhuś ca tayor anucarās tathā, āgamya bhīmasamkāśā rudhiraughān avāsrjan/ tāv āpatantau sahasā drstvā rājīvalocanaḥ, lakṣmaṇam tv abhisamprekṣya rāmo vacanam abravīt/ paśya lakṣmaṇa durvṛttān rāksasān pisitāsanān, mānavāstrasamādhūtān anilena vathāghanān/ mānavam paramodāram astram paramabhāsvaram, ciksepa paramakruddho mārīcor asi rāghavah/ sa tena paramāstrena mānavena samāhitaḥ, sampūrṇam yojanaśatam kṣiptaḥ sāgarasamplave/ vicetanam vighūrṇantam śīteṣubala pīditam, nirastam drśya mārīcam rāmo laksmanam abravīt/ paśya laksmana śītesum mānavam dharmasamhitam, mohayitvā nayaty enam na ca prānair viyujyate/ imān api vadhisyāmi nirghrnān dustacārinah, rāksasān pāpakarmasthān vajñaghnān rudhirāśanān/ vigrhya sumahac cāstram āgneyam raghunandanah, subāhur asi ciksepa sa viddhah prāpatad bhuvi/ sesān vāyavyam ādāya nijaghāna mahāyaśāh, rāghavah paramodāro munīnām mudam āvahan/ sa hatvā rākṣasān sarvān yajñaghnān raghunandanah, rsibhih pūjitas tatra yathendro vijaye purā/ atha yajñe samāpte tu viśvāmitro mahāmuniḥ, nirītikā diśo dṛṣṭvā kākutstham idam abravīt/ kṛṭārtho 'smi mahābāho kṛṭaṁ guruvacas tvayā, siddhāśramam idam satyam krtam rāma mahāyaśah/

Brahmarshi Vishvamitra s approached by Rama Lakshmanas to explain them vividly as to how and when the Rakshasaas were in the habit of destroying the yagjni karyas of the tapasvees in the ashrama. Then the ashramavaasi rishis near Vishvamitra replied that Maharshi Vishvamitra had already assumed 'mouna vrata' for six days,and thus Rama Lakshmanas would need to be extremely vigilant for six nights long and safeguard from the attacks of the 'nishaacharaas'. Accordingly Rama Lakshmanas being alert 'dhanurdharaas' had been vigilant standing just by the side of the Maharshi. As 'agni jvalaas' came up initiated by 'Upaadhyaaya' or of the role of Brahma- 'Purohita' of the role of Upadrashtha, the flames went up too high as a forewarning indicators of the enrty of the rakshasaas. Then Vishvamitra along with the Ritvijas initiated the 'aahananeeyaagni' [Panchaagnis being described as Garhapatya- <u>Aahavaneeya-</u> Dakshinaagni-Sabyha and Avasatya representing Heaven-Clouds-Earth- Man and Woman vide Kathopa nishad]. *Mantravac ca yathānyāyam yajño 'sau sampravartate, ākāśe ca mahāñ śabdaḥ prādur āsīd bhayānakaḥ/ āvārya gaganam megho yathā prāvṛṣi nirgataḥ, tathā māyām vikurvāṇau rākṣasāv abhyadhāvatām/ mārīcaś ca subāhuś ca tayor anucarās tathā, āgamya bhīmasamkāśā rudhiraughān*

avāsṛjan/ As the resonance of the mantras recited in a pitch increased, there came up the high sounds on the sky with reverberations and dark clouds reflected the massive figures of rakshasaas named Maareecha and Subaahu and initiated pourings of blood from the high skies, even as groups of other rakshasaas started yelling and joined the task of pouring blood. Rama then addressed Lakshmana and stated that the rakshasaas had now arrived and both the Kumaras pitched up their arrows reciting the relevant mantras of 'Maanavaastra'. The arrow from Shri Rama was shot at and pierced Maricha's chest and the latter was farflung by hundred yojanas into the depths of the Sea. Smilingly, Rama told Lakshmana that this Mantra of 'Manavasatra' had only helped to faint and farflung Maricha but now let 'agneyastra' be released so that the other mighty Subaahu be killed for good! So saying as Subahu was killed, the rest of the raakshasas fled away for good never ever to return. This was how Raghunandana Shri Rama got rid of all the rakshasa elements of evil energies wantonly spoiling the dharmic duties of yagjna karyas by Munis for a very long time. The grateful indwellers of the Ashram praised Rama Lakshmanas under the supreme leadership of Brahmarshi Vishvamitra himself.

Sarga Thirteen One

Atha tām rajanīm tatra kṛtārthau rāmalakṣaṇau, ūṣatur muditau vīrau prahṛṣṭenāntarātmanā/ prabhātāyām tu śarvaryām krtapaurvāhnikakriyau, viśvāmitram rsīms cānyān sahitāv abhijagmatuh/ abhivādya muniśrestham įvalantam iva pāvakam, ūcatur madhurodāram vākyam madhurabhāsinau/ imau svo muniśārdūla kimkarau samupasthitau, ājñāpaya yathesṭam vai śāsanam karavāva kim/ evam ukte tatas tābhyām sarva eva maharṣayah,viśvāmitram puraskṛtya rāmam vacanam abruvan/ maithilasya naraśrestha janakasya bhavisyati, yajñah paramadharmisthas tatra yāsyāmahe vayam/ tvam caiva naraśārdūla sahāsmābhir gamisyasi, adbhutam ca dhanūratnam tatra tvam drastum arhasi/ tad dhi pūrvam naraśrestha dattam sadasi daivataih, aprameyabalam ghoram makhe paramabhāsvaram/ nāsya devā na gandharvā nāsurā na ca rāksasāh, kartum āropanam śaktā na katham cana mānusāh/ dhanusas tasya vīryam hi jijñāsanto mahīksitah, na śekur āropayitum rājaputrā mahābalāh/ tad dhanur naraśārdūla maithilasya mahātmanaḥ, tatra drakṣyasi kākutstha yajñam cādbhutadarśanam/ tad dhi vajñaphalam tena maithilenottamam dhanuh, vācitam naraśārdūla sunābham sarvadaivataih/ evam uktvā munivarah prasthānam akarot tadā, sarsisamghah sakākutstha āmantrva vanadevatāh/ svasti vo 'stu gamişyāmi siddhaḥ siddhāśramād aham, uttare jāhnavītīre himavantam śiloccayam/ pradakṣiṇam tatah krtvā siddhāśramam anuttamam, uttarām diśam uddiśya prasthātum upacakrame/ tam vrajantam munivaram anvagād anusārinām, sakatī satamātram tu prayāne brahmavādinām/ mrgapaksiganās caiva siddhāśramanivāsinah, anujagmur mahātmānam viśvāmitram mahāmunim/ te gatvā dūram adhvānam lambamāne divākare, vāsam cakrur muniganāh śonākūle samāhitāh/ te 'stam gate dinakare snātvā hutahutāśanāh, viśvāmitram puraskṛtya niṣedur amitaujasah/ rāmo 'pi sahasaumitrir munīms tān abhipūjya ca, agrato nisasādātha viśvāmitrasya dhīmataḥ/ atha rāmo mahātejā viśvāmitram mahāmunim, papraccha muniśārdūlam kautūhalasamanvitah/ bhagavan ko nv ayam deśah samrddhavanaśobhitah, śrotum icchāmi bhadram te vaktum arhasi tattvatah/ codito rāmavākvena kathayām āsa suvratah, tasya deśasya nikhilam rsimadhye mahātapāh/ Maharshi Vishvamitra and Rama Lakshmanas were greatly contented and so were the 'ashrama vaashis' and after a night long restful sleep. Thereafter following the morning duties the visiting trio desired to perform farewell; the grateful hosts informed the Maharshi and Rama Lakshmanas that the 'ashrama vaasis' were all invited to a maha yagina which was to be soon organised by the King of Mithila named Janaka. The King was in possession of a colossal and celestial 'dhanush' worthy of seeing especially by Rama Lakshmanas. That dhanush was stated to be unparalleled and was reputed as unbreakable, let alone be lifted up even by Deva-Gandharva-Asura -Rakshasaas despite their physical and mental grit. *Dhanuşas* tasya vīryam hi jijñāsanto mahīkṣitaḥ, na śekur āropayitum rājaputrā mahābalāḥ/ tad dhanur naraśārdūla maithilasya mahātmanah, tatra draksyasi kākutstha yajñam cādbhutadarśanam/ With a view to assessing the weight and massiveness of the dhanush, hundreds of Raja Raja- Kumaras had arrived in teams but failed miserebly to move it let alone lift it, maneuver and pull it down. It was learnt that King Janaka having performed a maha yagina in the past was blessed by Bhagavan Shankara

assuming the form of the Yagjna Purusha emerging from the flames gifted the Dhanush to the King as a mark of a series of such yagjna karyaas. It was stated that the spot of holding and hadling the dhanush was marvellous to look at. 'Raghunandana! This celestial dhanush was stated to have been placed after invoking Devas at the center of a huge hall and was duly worshipped with Vedic Verses daily with gandha-dhupa-pushpa- naivedyas. As the inmates of the ashrama had thus described, Maharshi Vishvamitra accompanied by Rama Lakshmanas moved forward into thick forests and seemed to have indicated to Vana Devatas that they would seek to reach 'Siddhhashrama' located towards the northern direction of the sacred Ganga alongside Himalayas. Quite a distance of the difficult terrain followed and a few of the inmates of the Siddhhashrama were sighted travelling by bullock carts. By that time they came up to reach the banks of River Shronabhadra, dusk had fallen; Rama Lakshmanas requested Maharshi Vishvamitra to provide details of the adjacent Kingdom which flourished with 'sasyashyamala' or enormous of green vegetation and the latter explained being seated amid the group of Rishis.

Sarga Thirty Two

Brahmayonir mahān āsīt kuśo nāma mahātapāḥ, vaidarbhyām janayām āsa caturah sadṛśān sutān/ kuśāmbam kuśanābham ca ādhūrta rajasam vasum, dīptiyuktān mahotsāhān kṣatradharmacikīrṣayā, tān uvāca kuśah putrān dharmisthān satyavādinah/ kuśasya vacanam śrutvā catvāro lokasammatāh, niveśam cakrire sarve purānām nyvarās tadā/ kuśāmbas tu mahātejāh kauśāmbīm akarot purīm, kuśanābhas tu dharmātmā param cakre mahodayam/ādhūrtarajaso rāma dharmāranyam mahīpatih, cakre puravaram rājā vasuś cakre girivrajam/ esā vasumatī rāma vasos tasva mahātmanah, ete śailavarāh pañca prakāśante samantataḥ/ sumāgadhī nadī ramyā māgadhān viśrutāyayau, pañcānām śailamukhyānām madhye māleva śobhate/ saisā hi māgadhī rāma vasos tasya mahātmanah, pūrvābhicaritā rāma suksetrā sasyamālinī/ kuśanābhas tu rājarsih kanyāśatam anuttamam, janayām āsa dharmātmā ghṛtācyām raghunandana/ tās tu yauvanaśālinyo rūpavatyah svalamkṛtāh, udyānabhūmim āgamya prāvṛṣīva śatahradāh/ gāyantyo nṛtyamānāś ca vādayantyaś ca rāghaya, āmodam paramam jagmur varābharaṇabhūṣitāḥ/ atha tāś cārusarvāṅgyo rūpeṇāpratimā bhuvi, udyānabhūmim āgamya tārā iva ghanāntare/ tāh sarvagunasampannā rūpayauvanasamyutāh, drstvā sarvātmako vāyur idam vacanam abravīt/ aham vah kāmaye sarvā bhāryā mama bhavisyatha, mānusas tyajyatām bhāyo dīrgham āyur avāpsyatha/ tasya tad vacanam śrutvā vāyor aklistakarmanah, apahāsya tato vākyam kanyāśatam athābravīt/ antaś carasi bhūtānām sarvesām tvam surottama, prabhāvajñāś ca te sarvāh kim asmān avamanyase/ kuśanābhasutāh sarvāh samarthās tvām surottama, sthānāc cyāvayitum devam raksāmas tu tapo vayam/ mā bhūt sa kālo durmedhah pitaram satyavādinam, nāvamanyasva dharmena svayamvaram upāsmahe/ pitā hi prabhur asmākam daivatam paramam hi sah, yasya no dāsyati pitā sa no bhartā bhaviṣyati/ tāsām tad vacanam śrutvā vāyuḥ paramakopanaḥ, praviśya sarvagātrāṇi babhañja bhagavān prabhuh, tāh kanyā vāyunā bhagnā viviśur nṛpater gṛham/ dṛṣṭvā bhagnās tadā rājā sambhrānta idam abravīt/ kim idam kathyatām putryah ko dharmam avamanyate, kubjāh kena kṛtāh sarvā vestantvo nābhibhāsatha/ Maharshi Vishvamitra stated that in the remote past there was well famed King named Kusha who was great warrier and dharmatma like Brahma himself. In another reputed clan named Vidarbha, there was a princess who was wedded to King Kusha. Out of their union, four princes were born viz. Kushamba, Kushanabha- Asurtarajasa and Vasu. The King always instructed the sons to always follow Dharma and Praja seva. Eventually, he came to be popularly tittled as 'Praja Rakshaka Rupa'. The four sons had eventually built four cities of the kingdom viz. Koushaambi later on named as Kosama as of now. Kusha naabha built another township named 'Mahodaya'. Asurtarajasa built Dharmaaranya while Vasu built Girivraja and acquired the title of Vasumati. Now toward the southwest of River Sona came up the popular Sumagaadhi. Thus these townships were placed in between mountains as of a necklace form. Further, Maagadhi on the banks of River Sona became popular as related to Vasu. Kushanaabha begot very pretty knayas from Apsara Ghritachi. As they were singing and dancing away in the mountain valleys their youthful prettiness attracted the attention of Vayu Deva who desired to marry all of them so that they could live forever happily. The pretty maidens heckled Vayu Deva and revealed themselves as the daughters of of Rajarshi Kushanaabha and Apsara Ghritachi. The

Apsara Kanyas threatened Vayu Deva for his audacious impudence in his approach and as such could even give a shaap to Vayu but their upbringing prevented them to do so. Tāsām tad vacanam śrutvā vāyuḥ paramakopanaḥ, praviśya sarvagātrāṇi babhañja bhagavān prabhuḥ, tāḥ kanyā vāyunā bhagnā viviśur nṛpater gṛham/On hearing such prococative tone of the kanyas, Vayu deva out of his might and sweep disfigured the kanyas as balls of mere flesh and as 'kubjas'. The kanyas were terrorised and ran to the King. The latter on realising the seriousness of the crisis took a long breath and took to silence pondering over the consequent worsening of the situation.

Sarga Thirty Three

Tasya tad vacanam śrutvā kuśanābhasya dhīmatah, śirobhiś caraṇau spṛṣṭvā kanyāśatam abhāṣata/ vāyuh sarvātmako rājan pradharsayitum icchati, aśubham mārgam āsthāya na dharmam pratyaveksate/ pitṛmatyaḥ sma bhadram te svacchande na vayam sthitāḥ, pitaram no vṛṇīṣva tvam yadi no dāsyate tava/ tena pāpānubandhena vacanam na pratīcchatā, evam bruvantvah sarvāh sma vāvunā nihatā bhrsam/ tāsām tadvacanam śrutvā rājā paramadhārmikaḥ, pratyuvāca mahātejāḥ kanyāśatam anuttamam/ kṣāntam kṣamāvatām putryaḥ kartavyam sumahat krtam, aikamatyam upāgamya kulam cāvekṣitam mama/ alamkāro hi nārīnām ksamā tu purusasya vā, duskaram tac ca vah ksāntam tridaśesu viśesatah/ yādṛśīr vah ksamā putryah sarvāsām aviśesatah, ksamā dānam ksamā yajñah ksamā satyam ca putrikāh/ kṣamā yaśaḥ kṣamā dharmaḥ kṣamāyām viṣṭhitam jagat, viṣṛjya kanyāḥ kākutstha rājā tridaśavikramaḥ/ mantrajño mantrayām āsa pradānam saha mantribhih, deśe kāle pradānasya sadṛśe pratipādanam/ etasminn eva kāle tu cūlī nāma mahāmunih, ūrdhvaretāh subhācāro brāhmam tapa upāgamat/ tapyan tam tam rsim tatra gandharvī paryupāsate, somadā nāma bhadram te ūrmilā tanayā tadā/ sā ca tam pranatā bhūtvā śuśrūsanaparāyanā, uvāsa kāle dharmisthā tasyās tusto 'bhavad guruh/ sa ca tām kālayogena provāca raghunandana, paritusto 'smi bhadram te kim karomi tava priyam/ paritustam munim jñātvā gandharvī madhurasvaram, uvāca paramaprītā vākyajñā vākyakovidam/ lakṣmyā samudito brāhmyā brahmabhūto mahātapāḥ, brāhmeṇa tapasā yuktam putram icchāmi dhārmikam/ apatiś cāsmi bhadram te bhāryā cāsmi na kasya cit, brāhmenopagatāyāś ca dātum arhasi me sutam/ tasyāḥ prasanno brahmarṣir dadau putram anuttamam, brahmadatta iti khyātam mānasam cūlinaḥ sutam/ sa rājā brahmadattas tu purīm adhyavasat tadā, kāmpilyām parayā lakṣmyā devarājo yathā divam/ sa buddhim krtavān rājā kuśanābhah sudhārmikah, brahmadattāya kākutstha dātum kanyāśatam tadā/ tam āhūya mahātejā brahmadattam mahīpatih, dadau kanyāśatam rājā suprītenāntarātmanā/ yathākramam tatah pānim jagrāha raghunandana, brahmadatto mahī pālas tāsām devapatir yathā/ spṛṣṭamātre tatah pānau vikubjā vigatajvarāh, yuktāh paramayā laksmyā babhuh kanyāśatam tadā/ sa drstvā vāyunā muktāḥ kuśanābho mahīpatiḥ, babhūva paramaprīto harṣam lebhe punaḥ punaḥ/ kṛtodyāham tu rājānam brahmadattam mahīpatih, sadāram presayām āsa sopādhyāya gaṇam tadā/ somadāpi susamhrstā putrasya sadršīm kriyām, yathānyāyam ca gandharvī snuṣās tāḥ pratyanandata/

As the Apsarasa kanyas got frightened, agitated and appoached the father king, the latter replied: $k \bar{s} \bar{a} n t a m k \bar{s} a m \bar{a} v a t \bar{a} \bar{m} p u t r y a h k k r t a v y a m suma h at k r t a m, ai k a m a v y a m u p \bar{a} g a m y a k u l a m c \bar{a} v e k \bar{s} i t a m m m m / a l a m k r v a h k r a m a v i s e r a t a u p u r u r a s a v a h k r a m a v i s e r a t a u p u r u r a s a v a h k r a m a v i s e r a t a u p u r u r a v a h k r a m a v i s e r a t a u p u r u r a d u g h r a v a h k r a m a r a v a h k r a m a r a v a h k r a m a r a v a h k r a m a r a v a h k r a m a r a v a h k r a m a r a v a h k r a m a r a v a h k r a m a r a v a h k r a m a r a v a h k r a m a r a v a h k r a m a r a v a h k r a m a r a v a h k r a m a r a v a h k r a m a r a v a h k r a m a r a v a h k r a m a r a v a h a$

King after extensive search then discovered a bright-well read Muni named 'Chooli' who was being served volantarily in his pujas by a Gandharva Kumari named 'Sonada' the daughter of Urmila. Then the Muni was pleased and aked her granting a boon to her and the latter desired to beget an outstanding son of jnaana- vigjnaana. As a result, the Muni manifested a Manasa Putra 'Brahmadatta' as the son of Sonada. In course of time, Brahmadatta as he he grew as a handome youth of virtue lived at Kaampilya Nagari. The King then approached Brahmadatta who consented to wed the apsara kanyas as the latter at the auspicious time of the 'paanigrahahana' at the wedding, the apsara kanyas turned as kubjas by the curse of Vayudeva were resooted of their original forms as Apsaras. Maharshi Vishvamitra thus narrated the glories of Brahma putra Kusha and of his illustrious's sons.

Sarga Thirty Four

Kṛtodvāhe gate tasmin brahmadatte ca rāghava, aputrah putralābhāya pautrīm iṣṭim akalpayat/ iṣṭyām tu vartamānāvām kuśanābham mahīpatim, uvāca paramaprītah kuśo brahmasutas tadā/ putras te sadršah putra bhavişyati sudhārmikah, gādhim prāpsyasi tena tvam kīrtim loke ca śāśvatīm/ evam uktvā kuśo rāma kuśanābham mahīpatim, jagāmākāśam āviśya brahmalokam sanātanam/kasya cit tv atha kālasya kuśanābhasya dhīmatah, jajñe paramadharmistho gādhir ity eva nāmatah/ sa pitā mama kākutstha gādhih paramadhārmikah, kuśavamsaprasūto 'smi kausiko raghunandana/ a pūrvajā bhaginī cāpi mama rāghava suvratā, nāmnā satyavatī nāma rcīke pratipāditā/ saśarīrā gatā svargam bhartāram anuvartinī, kauśikī paramodārā sā pravṛttā mahānadī/ divyā puṇyodakā ramyā himavantam upāśritā, lokasya hitakāmārtham pravṛttā bhaginī mama/ tato 'ham himavatpārśve vasāmi niyataḥ sukham, bhaginyāh snehasamyuktah kauśikyā raghunandana/ sā tu satyavatī punyā satye dharme pratisthitā, pativratā mahābhāgā kauśikī saritām varā/ aham hi niyamād rāma hitvā tām samupāgatah, siddhāśra mam anuprāpya siddho 'smi tava tejasā/ esā rāma mamotpattih svasya vamsasya kīrtitā, desasya ca mahābāho yan mām tvam paripṛcchasi/ gato 'rdharātraḥ kākutstha kathāḥ kathayato mama, nidrām abhyehi bhadram te mā bhūd vighno 'dhvanīha naḥ/ niṣpandās taravaḥ sarve nilīnā mṛgapakṣiṇaḥ, naiśena tamasā vyāptā diśaś ca raghunandana/ śanair vivujyate samdhyā nabho netrair ivāvrtam, naksatratārāgahanam įvotirbhir avabhāsate/ uttisthati ca śītāmsuh sasī lokatamonudah, hlādayan prāṇinām loke manāmsi prabhayā vibho/ naiśāni sarvabhūtāni pracaranti tatas tataḥ, yakṣarākṣasaṃghāś ca raudrāś ca piśitāśanāh/ evam uktvā mahātejā virarāma mahāmunih, sādhu sādhv iti tam sarve munayo hy abhyapūjayan/ rāmo 'pi saha saumitrih kim cid āgatavismayah, praśasya muniśārdūlam nidrām samupasevate/

Raghunandana! As King Kushanabha married off his daughters to Brahmadutta desired to secure a son and proposed the performance of Putra Kamekshi Yagjna. Then the Grand King Kusha blessed Kushanabha stating that the latter should beget a famed son Gaadhi who would attain worldwide acclaim and having stated thus had reched Brahma loka prapti. Eventually Gaadhi was born and having become youthful declared himself as Koushika since he was born into Kusha Vamsha. Brahmarshi Vishvamitra then informed Rama Lakshmanas that he had an elder sister named Satyavati married to Richeeka Muni. On the death of Richeeka she reached swarga loka with her own body and eventually returned to Earth as Kaushiki Mahanadioriginating from Himalaya Mountains as a 'Punya Nadi' of Famed Virtue. Maharshi stated that thanks to Shri Rama he had obtained the opportunity of visiting the Siddhashrama and was nostalgic of the memory of his dear sister now as a river. He then introduced about the territory of the banks of River 'Shonabhadra' and about the furtherance of his own vamsha. By that time as Vishvamitra explained about the backround of his own Koushika Vamsha and the night was ushered in and the three some halted for sleep even as animals and birds rested. Even the trees and their branchas and leaves got quietened and in the darkness the sky too was lit up with the glitter of stars. In was in that atmosphere on earth, moon shine above ushered in coolness and tranquility. But in that very quietude and stillness, Yaksha- Rakshasa- Pishachas got busy roaming. As Maharshi was describing, Rama Lakshmana and even Vishvamitra himself slipped into sleep gradually.

Sarga Thirty Five

Upāsya rātriśeṣam tu śoṇākūle maharṣibhiḥ, niśāyām suprabhātāyām viśvāmitro 'bhyabhāṣata/ suprabhātā niśā rāma pūrvā samdhyā pravartate, uttisthottistha bhadram te gamanāyābhirocaya/ tac chrutyā vacanam tasya krtyā pauryāhnikīm kriyām, gamanam rocayām āsa vākyam cedam uvāca ha/ ayam sonah subhajalo gādhah pulinamanditah, katarena pathā brahman samtarisyāmahe vayam/ evam uktas tu rāmeņa viśvāmitro 'bravīd idam, eşa panthā mayoddisto yena yānti maharşayaḥ/ te gatvā dūram adhvānam gate 'rdhadivase tadā, jāhnavīm saritām śresthām dadrśur munisevitām/ tām drstvā punyasalilām hamsasārasasevitām, babhūvur muditāh sarve munayah saharāghavāh/ tasyās tīre tataś cakrus te āvāsaparigraham, tatah snātvā yathānyāyam samtarpya pitrdevatāh/ hutvā caivāgnihotrāni prāśya cāmṛtavad dhavih, viviśur jāhnavītīre śucau muditamānasāh, viśvāmitram mahātmānam parivārya samantatah/ samprahrstamanā rāmo viśvāmitram athābravīt, bhagavañ śrotum icchāmi gangām tripathagām nadīm, trailokyam katham ākramya gatā nadanadīpatim/ codito rāma vākyena viśvāmitro mahāmunih, vṛddhim janma ca gangāyā vaktum evopacakrame/ śailendro himavān nāma dhātūnām ākaro mahān, tasva kanvā dvavam rāma rūpenāpratimam bhuvi/ vā meruduhitā rāma tavor mātā sumadhyamā, nāmnā menā manojñā vai patni Himavatak priyaa/ tasyām gangeyam abhavaj jyeşthā himavataḥ sutā, umā nāma dvitīyābhūt kanyā tasyaiva rāghava/ atha jyeşthām surāḥ sarve devatārthacikīrsayā, śailendram varayām āsur gangām tripathagām nadīm/ dadau dharmena himavāms tanayām lokapāvanīm, svacchandapathagām gangām trailokyahitakāmyayā/ pratigrhya trilokārtham trilokahitakārinah, gangām ādāya te 'gacchan krtārthenāntarātmanā/ yā cānyā śailaduhitā kanyāsīd raghunandana, ugram sā vratam āsthāya tapas tepe tapodhanā/ ugreņa tapasā yuktām dadau śailavaraḥ sutām, rudrāyāpratirūpāya umām lokanamaskṛtām/. ete te śaila rājasya sute lokanamaskṛte gaṇgā ca saritām śresthā umā devī ca rāghava, etat te dharmam ākhyātam yathā tripathagā nadī, kham gatā prathamam tāta gatim gatimatām vara/

As Maharshi slept off the remainder of the night and woke up, he woke up Rama Lakshmanas and after their morning duties the latter enquired as to cross the river for forward journey. Vishvamitra replied that he had already made the plan; they proceeded along the banks of Shonabhadra and reached upto the banks of Ganga while enjoying the scenic charm on the way. On their arrival on the banks, they all had refreshing baths in the river and a large collection of Munis gathered around while Deva Pitru tarpans were duly performed. Further agni karyas were performed too and havishaanna bhojanas were concluded too. As groups of Maharshis surrounded Vishvamitra-Rama Lakshmanas, the latter asked about the origin and further flows of Ganges till its merger into the Ocean. Vishvamitra explained that the mighty Himavat Mountain range King surfiet with 'dhaatus' had two ilustrious women of unparalleled beauty and grace one as the wife and another as a daughter named Devi Mena and Devi Parvati respectively. Tasyām gangeyam abhavaj jyeṣṭhā himavatah sutā, umā nāma dvitīyābhūt kanyā tasyaiva rāghava/ Raghunandana! Devi Mena was blessed with a daughter reputed as Ganga even before the birth of Parvati. But Devas requested for Devi Ganga for the reason of 'Loka Kalyaanna' and King Himavant agreed to their supplication: Yā cānyā śailaduhitā kanyāsīd raghunandana, ugram sā vratam āsthāya tapas tepe tapodhanā/ ugrena tapasā yuktām dadau śailavarah sutām, rudrāvāpratirūpāya umām lokanamaskṛtām/ Rama! The second daughter Devi Parvati took to severe tapasya for long number of years and amassed name and fame from that outstanding spiritual wealth and eventually got wedded to Maha Deva. Such was the glory of the two daughters of Himavanta viz. Ganga and Girija worthy of prostrations of the entire worlds.

Sarga Thirty Six

Ukta vākye munau tasminn ubhau rāghavalakṣmaṇau, pratinandya kathām vīrāv ūcatur munipumgavam/dharmayuktam idam brahman kathitam paramam tvayā, duhituḥ śailarājasya jyeṣṭhāya vaktum arhasi/vistaram vistarajño 'si divvamānusasambhavam, trīn patho hetunā kena pāvavel lokapāvanī/katham

gangām tripathagā viśrutā sariduttamā, trisu lokesu dharmajña karmabhih kaih samanvitā/ tathā bruvati kākutsthe viśvāmitras tapodhanah, nikhilena kathām sarvām rsimadhye nyavedayat/ purā rāma kṛtodvāhaḥ śitikaṇṭho mahātapāḥ, dṛṣṭvā ca spṛhayā devīm maithunāyopacakrame/ śitikaṇṭhasya devasya divyam varşaśatam gatam, na cāpi tanayo rāma tasyām āsīt paramtapa/ tato devāḥ samudvignāh pitāmahapurogamāh, vad ihotpadvate bhūtam kas tat pratisahisvate/ abhigamva surāh sarve pranipatyedam abruvan, devadeva mahādeva lokasyāsya hite rata, surāṇām pranipātena prasādam kartum arhasi/ na lokā dhārayişyanti tava tejah surottama, brāhmeņa tapasā yukto devyā saha tapaś cara/ trailokyahitakāmārtham tejas tejasi dhārava, raksa sarvān imāmil lokān nālokam kartum arhasi/ devatānām vacah śrutvā sarvalokamaheśvarah, bādham ity abravīt sarvān punaś cedam uvāca ha/ dhārayisyāmy aham tejas tejasy eva sahomayā, tridaśāh prthivī caiva nirvānam adhi gacchatu/ yad idam ksubhitam sthānān mama tejo hy anuttamam, dhārayisyati kas tan me bruvantu surasattamāh/ evam uktās tato devāh pratyūcur vrsabhadhvajam, vat tejah ksubhitam hy etat tad dharā dhārayiṣyati/ evam uktaḥ surapatiḥ pramumoca mahītale, tejasā pṛthivī yena vyāptā sagirikānanā/ tato devāḥ punar idam ūcuś cātha hutāśanam, praviśa tvam mahātejo raudram vāyusamanvitaḥ/ tad agninā punar vyāptam samjātah śvetaparvatah, divyam śaravanam caiva pāvakāditvasamnibham, / vatra jāto mahātejāḥ kārtikeyo 'gnisambhavaḥ, athomām ca śivam caiva devāḥ sarṣi gaṇās tadā, pūjayām āsur atyartham suprītamanasas tataḥ/ atha śaila sutā rāma tridaśān idam abravīt, samanyur aśapat sarvān krodhasamraktalocanā/ yasmān nivāritā caiva samgatā putrakāmyayā, apatyam svesu dāresu notpādayitum arhatha, adya prabhṛti yusmākam aprajāh santu patnayah evam uktvā surān sarvāñ śaśāpa pṛthivīm api, avane naikarūpā tvam bahubhāryā bhaviṣyasi/ na ca putrakṛtām prītim matkrodhakaluşī kṛtā, prāpsyasi tvam sudurmedhe mama putram anicchatī/ tān sarvān vrīḍitān dṛṣṭvā surān surapatis tadā, gamanāyopacakrāma diśam varuņapālitām/ sa gatvā tapa ātisthat pārśve tasyottare gireḥ, himavatprabhave śṛṅge saha devyā maheśvaraḥ/ eṣa te vistaro rāma śailaputryā niveditah, gangāyāh prabhavam caiva śrnu me sahalaksmanah/

As Brahmarshi Vishvamitra explained about the everlasting splendor of both the Devis of Ganga and Parvati, Rama Laxshmanas were excited to know of Devi Ganga first in detail. How was Ganga named ' 'Triloka Dhaaraas' or of the Three Flows of Bhur-Bhuva-Svargas! Then Maharshi Vishmamitra commenced explaining in detail. In the days of yore, Maha Parama Shiva and Devi Parvati as just married were enjoying the post wedding bliss. This was carried on for several divine years but still Devi Parvati did not concieve yet. Devas were worried that there was yet no conception of Parvati for a very long time. They approached Parama Shiva - Devi Parvatis and after due prostrations requested them to take to 'tapasya'. Trailokyahitakāmārtham tejas tejasi dhāraya, raksa sarvān imāmt lokān nālokam kartum arhasi/ Maha Deva Devis! For the sake of the welfare of Trilokas, we all entreat you to deposit your combined semen together so that 'loka raksha' be made possible with the joyous birth of a son could indeed be reality and the entire universe be protected. evam uktās tato devāh pratyūcur vṛṣabhadhvajam, yat tejah kşubhitam hy etat tad dharā dhārayisyati/ evam uktah surapatih pramumoca mahītale, tejasā pṛthivī yena vyāptā sagirikānanā/ tato devāḥ punar idam ūcuś cātha hutāśanam, praviśa tvam mahātejo raudram vāvusamanvitah/ Maha Deva however queried as to who indeed could ever possibly hold the semen so manifested of his union with Devi Parvati! Devas replied that Bhu Devi should be able to with stand the force the spell of the sperm. As Devas's provided the solution, Maha Deva released the semen and Bhu Devi was rattled as the mountains and forests were inundated with the sperm. Instantly Indra directed to devour it with the assistance of Vayu Deva then the mountain like deposit . In turn the mammoth deposits got distributed on the flows of Ganga all over the 'sarkandas' or river bed sprouted plants. yatra jāto mahātejāh kārtikeyo 'gnisambhavah, athomām ca śivam caiva devāh sarṣi gaṇās tadā, pūjayām āsur atyartham suprītamanasas tatah/ Thus the agni born Kartikeya was manifested and Deva-Rishi groups were rejoced as never before, especially due to Tarakasura was torturing 'trilokas' at that very time. But having realised all these manipulations by Indra and Deva Maharshis, Uma Devi was none too happy and gave a 'shaap' to Devas that there after they would be 'santaana heenaas' without offspring. She also cursed Bhu Devi that the latter would not of one uniform form and that she would be the wife of several husbands. As the Devas and Bhu Devi too were cursed by Gauri likewise, Shiva

became unhappy and turned his face westward. There after both Shiva and Gauri disappeared long time to perform deep tapasya.

<u>Vishleshana on Kartikeya:</u> There are three versions of Skanda Deva janana in <u>Padma Purana, Skanda</u> Purana and Matsya Puranas; especially in regard to Skanda Kumara Janma

Padma Purana first: Tarakasura was too powerful to Devas whose soldiers were badly bruised and ran without direction. Indra and Devas approached Brahma and he replied that none excepting a seven day son of Shiva and Devi Parvati, called 'Kartikeya' could kill Tarakasura and none else in the world. At this juncture, Indra prayed to Sage Narada to advise further plan in the context of the birth of Kartikeya. The Sage designed a route-map of action, first to approach Himavanta and his wife Mena as also Parvati to prepare them to wed Mahadeva; to secure access to Mahadeva for his consent to let Parvati assist the former in his daily Pujas and approach Kama Deva and Rati Devi to stealthly despatch 'Pushpa Baanas' or Amorous Arrows of Love in favour of Parvati while she was in service to Mahadeva. But the Plan did not quite succeed as Mahadeva's eyes searched for Kama Deva and burnt him off with his third eye. As Devi Rati prayed to Maha Deva, the latter assured that Kama Deva would soon be created again as 'Ananga' or devoid of Physique. As Devi Parvati was shaken by the news of Kama Deva's turning into ashes, she decided to take to Tapasya; her father Himavan addressed the daughter to say: 'U' 'Ma' meaning 'Don't do so'! But still she left to such a Place to perform rigorous Tapasya where even Devas did not desire to visit and was so inaccessible at the heights of Himalayas. As the Plan as scripted by Narada Muni was not yet in place, Indra prayed to 'Sapta Rishis' to intervene. The Rishis tested her unambiguous decision to perform the severe Tapasya by arguing with her that she was bent on marrying Maha Deva and none else; in fact she became angry with the Rishis that she reacted sharply against them and even condemned them to suggest any other name as her spouse excepting Shiva Deva. Sapta Rishis approached Maha Deva, underlined Parvati's strong mental make up to wed only Maha Deva and emphasised the angle of 'Loka Kalyan' or the Universal Cause of destroying Tarakasura which could be accomplished only through the wedding with Parvati. For a number of years, Shiva and Parvati were in a joyful mood after their marriage and there was little news for Indras and Devas about the possible arrival of Kartikeya who alone could terminate Tatakasura. Agni Deva took the form of a parrot and entered the Palace of Shiva and Parvati who found that Parvati was enjoying a bath in a Sarovar playing with lotus flowers and Lord Shiva was resting in his bed. She found six Krittikas in the Sarovar and told them that she was desirous of seeing the water drops inside the lotus bulbs; the Kritthikas replied in fun that they would show the water drops provided they allow them also to share the joy of a child in her 'garbha'! The Krittikas further said that they should allow them too to own the child as their own as much as that of Devi Parvati and she agreed to the mutual deal; Krittikas showed the water drops inside the lotus bulb and drank them. As soon as she drank the water drops, there emerged a handsome and healthy boy from Devi Parvati's right abdomen with Sun-like luster and a powerful Physique wearing a 'Shula' and 'Ankush' in both of his hands. He was called 'Kumar' as many entities claimed parentage maily of course by Lord Shiva and Devi Parvati but also the Krittikas and even Agni. The boy had six brilliant faces and was popularly called by several names viz. Vishakha, Shanmukha, Skanda, Shadaanana and Kartikeya. Brahma, Vishnu, Indra and various Devas gifted the Child several valuable souvenirs like Chandan, Malas, Dhup, Toys, Umbrellas, and Bhushans and instantly appointed him as the Senapati or the Commander-in-Chief of Devas. Lord Vishnu presented several 'Ayudhas' or Arms; Kubera provided ten lakh of Yaksha Sena; Agni gave his Tej (Radiance) and Vayu provided speed as his 'Vahan' (Chariot). Kumar desired to ascertain as to what he could do for them and in one voice they wanted the demon Tarakasura to be killed and Kumar assured saying: So be it! Inspired by what Skanda Deva guaranteed, Indra sent an emissary to Tarakasura saying that soon Indra and Devas would arrive to destroy the demon and his followers. Danavas wondered that an additional Shakti must have joined the Deva Sena as otherwise they would not dare send a messenger alerting them to come prapared for a battle! Tarakasura

remembered Brahma's boon to him with the qualification of the risk of his death in the hands of a boy! Even Kalanemi and other Daityas had creepy feelings about the might of the stranger who joined the Deva Sena. As Tarakasura saw finally saw the so-called additional Shakti, he laughed away and made fun of the baby boy; he said that Devas did great injustice in projecting him ahead of them so that they could conveniently run away if need be! Kumar replied that there was no need to make fun of us since in a battle of 'Shastras', there was the brain power that was important but not the brute force; moreso, one did not require a huge serpent to kill an opponent but even a tiny snake could finish off the enemy by a small bite of poison! Bala Surya was always difficult to look at and never under-estimate a boy! Even as Kumar's reply was over, the Asura threw a musala but the reply by way of a mighty Chakra from Kumar was instantaneous. The Daitya threw a metallic Bhindipal which Kumar stopped merely by one of his hands. Kartikeya targetted a ferocious mace which made ear-blowing sound and the demon was hardly able to escape its impact. The demon then realised that this boy was not an ordinary kid and one had to be tough with him; he used a very powerful Shastra which was undone by Kartikeya instantly. Then Kartikeya came into his form and massacred thousands of demons and the so-called mighty demons like Kalanemi could hardly defend themselves and ran away to save their skins. As a last resort, Tarakasura hit Kumar's vahana of Peacock and going wild with this act, Kumara finally used the 'Nirmal Shakti' in his hands and threw it with force and speed and the Shakti dazzled the demon's vision; he tried his best but could not evade it since it flew behind wherever he went and ultimately pierced into his heart as the mountain-like Tarakasura fell making a thud, like a cloud-burst and the handful soldiers of the huge army of Davanas left behind alive ran for their lives. Devas went into a state of ecstacy with loud shouts and battle-cries of relief showering fragrant flowers all around, Gandharvas sang earsplitting songs of victory, Apsaras danced with gay abandon and the whole Universe wore a memorable look of unprecedented carnival. Vishnu and Brahma were highly satisfied that finally Dharma an Nyaya were vindicated by Kumara. Maha Deva and Devi Parvati seated on Nandi with Ganesha and Kartikeya flew across to KailasaMountain witnessing festivities all along the route!

Skanda Purana: Indeed the unprecedented and the Most Glorious Wedding of Siva-Parvati was the unique talk of the entire Universe. At the Wedding 'Muhurat', Himavan declared: 'I, Himavan of the Gotra and clan of Mountains have the greatest privilege of offering the hand of my daughter Devi Parvati to Parama Siva in the august presence of Brahma and Vishnu. In turn, I wish to know the Gotra and Vamsa of Bhagavan'. As Sage Narada lifted his Veena instrument, Himavan stopped Narada not to play on it as a reply about the Gotra and Vamsa of Bhagavan; Narada told Himavan that the Gotra and Vamsa of Maha Siva was 'Naad' or Sound and that was why Narada lifted the Veena as a reply! Bhagavan is 'Naadamaya' or the Embodiment of Naada and one could realise Siva only through Naada, as He has no Gotra and no Vamsa since He is above these nomenclatures and yet belongs to all Gotras and all Vamsas. He has neither beginning nor end; He is the Most Supreme Energy beyond comprehension! Then Himavan gave the 'Kanyadaan' or the offering of his daughter saying: 'Imam Kanyaam thubhyamaham dadami Parameswara! Bharyartham prathi gruhneeshva' (Parameswara! I am offering my daughter as your 'Dharma Patni'; kindly accept). After wedding, Maha Deva and Devi Parvathi moved on to Mountain Gandhamadan to a luxurious and lonely place for their honeymoon. As Bhagavan's virility was so potent that parts of humanity were getting destroyed and Vishnu asked Agni Deva to take the form of a Hermit and asked Parvati to donate it and extended his hand which was immediately consumed by Agni even before Her eyes. Parvati got angry and cursed Agni to become 'Sarva Bhakshak' or he who consumes everything. Agni could not bear the brunt of the virility of Maha Siva and begged Him to show a way to pass it on to someone; Siva advised that the same be planted into virtuous women and Sage Narada annotated that such women of high merit taking bath on an early morning in the instant month of Magha would be attracted to Agni and his hot flames and they would be the best choice for the transfer of the virility in particles. As advised by Narada, Krittikas approached Agni seeking warmth from the cold morning and Agni transferred some drops of virility to the ladies through their skin pores. Kritthikas got

pregnant and their angry husbands gave a curse to them to roam on the Sky. They became Stars in a constellation and aborted their pregnancies. The major portion of the virility got left however on top of the Himalayas which was lifted by a crane and pushed into Ganges and the drops which were radiant like fire sparks got meshed up in the river bed plants (Sarkhand) of Ganges, who carried the foetus to a secluded place in the bushes thus emerging a Six Headed Child Kartikeya! As soon as the boy of highly chiselled face and limbs was born with extraodinary splendour, there was such illumination that travelled all over the Three Worlds instantly. Siva Deva and Devi Parvati appeared at once on their Vrishaba carrier and were overwhelmed with parental love and affection. Soon Brahma, Vishnu, Indra and the entire Devaloka assembled and so did Rishis, Yakshas, Gandharvas and all Celestial Beings. Veerabhadra and Pramathaganas as also the whole entourage of Maha Deva were ecstatic with boundless rapture. Devas put their chins up with indescribable relief that it would not be far for the greatest menace of Takakasura to be devastated by the new arrival on the scene! The whole atmosphere was of liberation, festivity and celebration. The Deities commenced preparations of war to kill Tarakasura but a Celestial Voice was heard that victory would be assured only under the Leadership of Kartikeya and hence all the Devas requested Skanda to become the Chief of the Army of Devas. Meanwhile, Devasena, the daughter of Mrityu Devata, became his wife and hence Skanda was known as Deva Senapati. Kartikeya led the army of Devas of the rank of Indra, Agni, Vayu, Kubera and Yama Dharma Raja and was seated on an elephant. Tarakasura arrived with a huge army of mighty warriors who dominated and controlled the opponents intially. Indra's 'Vajra' was overpowered by Tarakasura's weapon called Shakti and wounded Indra. King Muchukunda who fought for Devas and sought to stop the domination of Daityas but Tarakasura felled him on the ground; Muchukunda wanted to use the 'Brahmaastra' but was restrained by Sage Narada as that weapon would no doubt create havoc but would be ineffective to destroy Tarakasura and hence Kartikeya would have to be warmed up gradually. Veerabhadra swang into action and slaughtered thousands of Demons; Tarakasura realised that Veerabhadra was not easy to control and thus used his 'Maya' and assumed a thousand arms. Lord Vishnu suggested that the time was ripe to kill the Big Demon before he became more powerful and asked Skanda to charge him. With his mighty weapon Shakti on hand, Kartikeya chased Tarakasura but the latter retaliated with his own 'Shakti' and even got Skanda unconscious for a while. After quickly recovering his poise, Kartikeya prayed to his parents and released the Maha Shakti which was fortified with the blessings of Bhagavan and Bhagavati and finally annihilated Tarakasura who incidentally was a Great Siva Bhakta! But Siva Himself was so pleased at the valour of the lad who was more than a match to the Greatest Demon of the times who sent shock waves across the Three Worlds! While Devas and Gandharvas were engaged in unending praises and noise of resounding musical notes, Rishis were engaged in Vedic Hymns to please Kartikeya and there was ecstasy across the Globe.

Matsya Purana: The whole Universe was charged with myriad emotions as Shiva as the groom and the party arrived at the bride's palace. At the 'Kalyana Mandapa', the Parvarta Raja Himavan was in a state of dazed ecstacy since Parama Shiva himself was his son-in-law. *Pranateynaachalendrena Pujitotha Chaturmukhah, Chakaara vidhinaa Sarvam Vidhimantra purah saram*/ (Parvata Raja performed puja with respects to Brahma and with the full course of formal Mantras, the wedding was celebrated in tradition and dignity); *Sharveyna Paanigrahana maagneena saakshikamakshatam, Daataa Mahibhrutaam Natho hotaa Devaschaturmukhah/ Varah Pashupati Saakshaat Kanyaa Vishaaranistathaa* (Then Parama Shiva wedded Parvati with Agni Saakshi or in the presence of Agni, when Daata / donor was Himavaan, Brahma as Hota (the Head Priest), Shiva as the bride groom and bride as Aranibhuta Devi Parvati.). Devas were extremely happy that the best was yet to happen; Indra gifted a golden umbrella, Gandharvas sang tuneful songs, Apsaras danced to their best, Kinnaras organised instrumental extravaganza and the whole world cebebrated, but of course Daityas and Danavas who had ruled for thousand years were highly dejected quite understandably. After a few days the new couple of Shiva and Devi Parvati took permission of Parvata Raja Himavaan and moved back to Mandarachala. Years passed

by and Shiva and Parvati continued to enjoy their marital bliss. Out of fun, Bhagavan Shiva teased Parvati once as follows: Shareerey mama tatwaangi sitey bhaasya sitadyutih, Bhujaangee vaasita shuddhaa samslishtaa chandaney tarow/ Chandraatapena sampruktaa ruchirambaraa tathaa, Rajaneevaasitey pakshey drushti dosham dadaasimey/ (Devi Parvati! As your physical colour is rather dark and mine is fair, it looks that a dark serpent is circling a chandana tree! Also, there is a similie -comparison- of a shining Moon against the background of dark cloud on the sky!). Understandably, Parvati was not amused, and in fact, badly hurt, when Shankara made these remarks even as a joke. Instantly, she left out home and proceeded to perform 'Tapasya' to Brahma for a number of years to change her body colour. Any amount of pleading and supplication by Shiva did not change her mind. Meanwhile, the son of Andhakasura and the brother of Bakasura called 'Aadi' performed strict 'Tapas' to Brahma Deva and asked for the boon of 'Amaratwa' or immunity from death. As Brahma could not grant this advantage, Aadi amended the request that he should be able to convert his Body Form as per his wish; Brahma agreed provided that the Daitya could do so only twice. As Veerak was guarding the Entry Point of Shankara and as it was not possible to enter 'Shiva dwar', Aadi converted his Form as a snake and entered Shankara's abode through an under ground hole and slithered in; thereafter Aadi assumed the Form of Devi Parvati, approached Maha Deva and pretended that she had given up Tapasya as the severity of meditation just to change of body colour from 'Krishna Varna' to 'Gaura Varna' was not worth the strict regimen. Parama Shiva was happy initially that she changed her mind and returned back to him. But on second thoughts and knowing that Parvati would not take a flippant decision to return without achieving her objective, he suspected the fake Parvati and killed the 'Mayavi' Daitya. The original Parvati Devi's Tapasya pleased Brahma Deva and blessed her to change her body colour as she pleased either as of Gaura (white) Varna or of Shyama Varna; Parvati returned home to Maha Deva but the unwitting Veeraka, the 'Dwarapalaka' refused her entry to her own house! As any amount of convincing did not help Veeraka, Devi Gauri was tired out to reason him and finally gave a 'Shaap' that he would be born as a human and after the duration of the curse would return to her again. Parama Shiva was so excited as Gauri entered his interior bed room that a delegation of Devas headed by Indra was turned out saying that he was busy. Indra detailed Agni Deva to take the form of a parrot and peep in through a window as to what was happening inside their bed-chamber. Exactly at that time, the parrot peeped in when Shiva-Parvati were actually seen in action on their bed; Shiva noticed the parrot and recognised Agni. He scolded Agni and said now that he created 'Vighna' (obstacle) between him and Parvati and hence he might as well rectify the situation by drinking up his virility. The highly explosive drops shining like molten gold punctured Agni's belly and got spread over the Maha Sarovar nearby. Several lotus flowers which got sprouted all over in the deep waters emitted strong and fragrant scents and the intoxication affected 'Krittikas' who happened to bathe in the Sarovar; the Krittikas desired to take the lotus leaves home but Devi Parvati jocularly remarked to the Krittikas that she could take the drops of water on the lotus leaves as well. In turn Krittikas joked that they would take the water home, provided the child born of the water consumed by them should have equal right to the motherhood of the boy so born! As the deal was struck between Kritthikas and Parvati, the Krittika damsels gave the lotus leaves as also the water drops to Parvati. Subsequently, Devi Parvati drank up the water around the lotuses and from her right and left 'kukshis' gave birth to two male children later united into one and the child who had the extraordinary radiance of Surya Deva; each of the Six Krittikas shaped up one head each of the child; thus the boy was named 'Kumara' by Parvati; 'Kartikeya', 'Shanmukha', 'Shadvaktra' by the Krittikas and as 'Vishakha' or the different 'Shakhas'/ branches of the lotus leaves that carried the golden drops. On Chaitra Shukla Shashthi, the child was declared as the 'Deva Senapati'/ the Commander-in- Chief of Devas. Vishnu gifted varieties of 'Ayudhas'/ Arms and 'Astras' or Mantrik Arrows. Kubera presented him a lakh-strong of yaksha army. Vayu Deva gave him a 'Mayura Vahana'/ Peacock Carrier, while Twashta Prajapati gifted a toy in the form of a Cock which could change its form as the boy wished. All the Devas presented souvenirs, prostrated before Skanda and extolled him." Our Greetings to You, Kamarupa Shanmukha! You are Kumara, the radiant son of Maha Shiva and the destroyer of Danavas; your physical form is the

glow of rising son and of the heat of Agni; you are appropriately adorned, the Army Chief of Devas; the dreadful on the battle front; Guhya Rupa, the abolisher of fear in Trilokas in the Form of a Child; gifted with broad and clear eyes; Vishaakhaa! Our reverences to you as the practitioner of Maha Vratas; you are a terror in battle fields although of pleasant visage otherwise; you have a peacock as your carrier and wear a Keyura / wrist bangles; the high flier of flags; the bestower of boons to devotees; the high profile symbol of courage and strength; you possess a Magnificent Form. This was how Indra and Devas extolled Skanda.) Even as Kumara was replying to assure Devas that very soon the desire of retrieving their lost glories would be fulfilled, an emissary of Tarakasura arrived and conveyed their Chief's message to Indra with a warning not to repeat his past mistakes of challenging a giant Daitya of the stature of that great Tarakaura who shook up the Universe and converted Devas as his servants; he also remarked that instead of playing balls and toys, the baby boy Skanda should gradually get acclimatised to battle fields and face mighty Asuras much later in life! As Tarakasura was in a jocular mood, Skanda Deva said: 'Taraka! Never under-esimate the 'Shakti' of a kid; can you not realise that a baby serpent could perform permanent damage to you and that a boy who has 'Alpaakshara Gyan'in releasing 'Astras' could reach you directly to Naraka! Even while Skanda was conversing like this, Taraka threw a 'Mudgara' (hammer) and an agile Kumara destroyed it with his 'Vajraayudha; Taraka threw a 'Bhindapaal' which was destroyed by Kumara's own hands. Skanda materialised a Gada / Mace and despatched it against Kalanemi Daitya who became furious and rained a stream of Arrows. These arrows had little impact on Skanda. Instead, Kalanemi and his associates were thrashed by Kumara and they had to sprint from the battle lines. Takakasura then appeared center-stage and was furious in releasing a powerful arrow which hurt Kumara Swami's 'MayuraVahana'; The infuriated Skanda and threw the most potent'Shakti Baana' which was indeed the decisive point that sealed Tarakasura's fate and the greatest menace in the Trilokas who dominated the scene for thousands of years was finally destroyed, even as Devas sounded 'dundhubhis' (large drums) and showered rose petals which filled up the Earth, Sky and the Nether lokas with the fragrance of Parijata flowers from Swarga. Gandharvas and Kinnaras sang melliflous praises of Kumara and his proud parents, Apsaras were ecstatic and Sapta Rishis recited Mangala Mantras. Those who read or hear about the glories of Skanda would neither have sins nor diseases but lead a contented life ahead!]

Sarga Thirty Seven

Tapyamāne tapo deve devāh sarsiganāh purā, senāpatim abhīpsantah pitāmaham upāgaman/ tato 'bruvan surāh sarve bhagavantam pitāmaham, pranipatya śubham vākyam sendrāh sāgnipurogamāh/ yo nah senāpatir deva datto bhagavatā purā, sa tapah param āsthāya tapyate sma sahomayā/ yad atrānantaram kāryam lokānām hitakāmyayā, samvidhatsva vidhānajña tvam hi naḥ paramā gatiḥ/ devatānām vacaḥ śrutvā sarvalokapitāmahaḥ, sāntvayan madhurair vākyais tridaśān idam abravīt/ shilaputryā yad uktam tan na prajāsyatha patnisu, tasyā vacanam aklistam satyam eva na samsayah/ iyam ākāśagā gaṅgā yasyāṁ putraṁ hutāśanah, janayisyati devānāṁ senāpatim ariṁdamam/ jyesthā śailendraduhitā mānayisyati tam sutam, umāyās tad bahumatam bhavisyati na samśayah/ tac chrutvā vacanam tasya kṛtārthā raghunandan, praṇipatya surāh sarve pitāmaham apūjayan/ te gatvā parvatam rāma kailāsam dhātumaṇḍitam, agnim niyojayām āsuḥ putrārtham sarvadevatāḥ/ devakāryam idam deva samādhatsva hutāśana, śailaputryām mahātejo gangāyām teja utsrja/ devatānām pratijñāya gangām abhyetya pāvakah, garbham dhāraya vai devi devatānām idam priyam/ ity etad vacanam śrutvā divyam rūpam adhārayat, sa tasyā mahimām dṛṣṭvā samantād avakīryata/ samantatas tadā devīm abhyaşiñcata pāvakaḥ, sarvasrotāmsi pūrṇāni gangāyā raghunandana/ tam uvāca tato gangā sarvadevapurohitam, aśaktā dhārane deva tava tejah samuddhatam, dahyamānāgninā tena sampravyathitacetanā/ athābravīd idam gangām sarvadevahutāśanaḥ, iha haimavate pāde garbho 'yam samniveśyatām/ śrutvā tv agnivaco gangā tam garbham atibhāsvaram, utsasarja mahātejāh srotobhyo

hi tadānagha/ yad asyā nirgatam tasmāt taptajāmbūnadaprabham, kāñcanam dharaṇīm prāptam hiraṇyam amalam śubham, tāmram kārṣṇāyasam caiva taikṣṇyād evābhijāyata/ Malam tasyābhavat tatra trapusīsakam eva ca, tad etad dharaṇīm prāpya nānādhātur avardhata/ nikṣiptamātre garbhe tu tejobhir abhirañjitam, sarvam parvatasamnaddham sauvarṇam abhavad vanam/ jātarūpam iti khyātam tadā prabhrti rāghava, suvarṇam puruṣavyāghra hutāśanasamaprabham/ tam kumāram tato jātam sendrāḥ sahamarudgaṇāḥ, kṣīrasambhāvanārthāya krttikāḥ samayojayan/ tāḥ kṣīram jātamātrasya krtvā samayam uttamam, daduḥ putro 'yam asmākam sarvāsām iti niścitāḥ/ tatas tu devatāḥ sarvāḥ kārtikeya iti bruvan, putras trailokya vikhyāto bhaviṣyati na samśayaḥ/ teṣām tad vacanam śrutvā skannam garbhaparisrave, snāpayan parayā lakṣmyā dīpyamānam ivānalam/ skanda ity abruvan devāḥ skannam garbhaparisravāt, kārtikeyam mahābhāgam kākutsthajvalanopamam/ prādurbhūtam tataḥ kṣīram krttikānām anuttamam, ṣaṇṇām ṣaḍānano bhūtvā jagrāha stanajam payaḥ/ grhītvā kṣīram ekāhnā sukumāra vapus tadā, ajayat svena vīryeṇa daityasainyagaṇān vibhuḥ/ surasenāgaṇapatim tatas tam amaladyutim, abhyaṣiñcan suragaṇāḥ sametyāgnipurogamāḥ/ eṣa te rāma gaṅgāyā vistaro 'bhihito mayā,kumārasambhavaś caiva dhanyaḥ puṇyas tathaiva ca/

As Maha Deva was in the course of deep tapasya, Devatas headed by Indra, besides Agni Deva approached Brahma Deva and requested that Kumara be declared as Senapati. They stated that both Maha Deva and Devi Parvati had in principle consented the proposal. Brahma Deva recalled that Devi Uma Parvati cursed Devas already that they would be childless and that curse would be irrevocable. Moreover, Uma's elder sister Devi Ganga blessed Devi Parvati to beget a son in close association with Agni Deva and that son would destroy Tarakasura and many other Rakshasaas and that son would beome the Deva Senapati. Thus Brahma Deva corroborated both the incidents and declared Kumara Swami should to the Deva Senapati. Thus Maharshi Vishvamitra informed Rama Lakshmanas as how Kumara became Deva Senapati. Then Rama anlysed to Vishvamitra that Devi Ganga blessed Parvati Devi that Agni would be closely associated with the birth of Kumara. Maharshi then analysed further to Rama that Agni himself carried Rudra's semen but wanted Devi Ganga's association; Ganga asked Agni to deposit the virility at her flows westward of Himalayas near by Meru mountain; thus from her womb came out the golden coloured boy as Meru mountain too was of golden hue. As Prithvi was of copper colour, the srroungings where the birth occurred assumed copper colour. Raghunandana! That was how, Kumara haning been born with golden hue came to be named 'Suvarna' and the surroundings such as the grass, trees, creepers and even the bark of the trees too were golden. Then Lord Indra commissioned six Krittikaas alongside Marud ganas to feed milk to the new born. The Krittikas put a condition and asked for equal rights of feeding breast milk to the child named as Kartikeya. Teṣām tad vacanam śrutvā skannam garbha parisrave, snāpayan parayā laksmyā dīpyamānam ivānalam/ skanda ity abruvan devāh skannam garbhaparisravāt, kārtikeyam mahābhāgam kākutsthajvalanopamam/As Devas had thus reportedly learnt to have delared, Parama Shiva and Devi Parvati both learnt that 'Skanda' as emerged from the skandita of Maha Deva basically provoked from Devi Parvati, garbha sraava from Ganga, carried by Agni, and born to Krittikas from their wombs and fed milk from their breasts.Rama! that was how, Skanda was acclaimed as Kartikeya. Then the child had assumed six heads and mouths to simultaneously and thus called as Shanmukha. Thus being ably absorbed the breast milk of six mothers simultaneuosly, <u>Deva Senapati</u> Kumara exhibited unparalleled prowess in uprooting Takakasura and his followers. Such was the episode of Kumara and that of the glorious Devi Ganga who dominated his life of incredibility! Whoever on earth as dedicated to Kartikeya seeks to learn of his illustrious birth would be blessed with longevity, excellent progeny and salvation in Skanda Loka eventually.

Sarga Thirty Eight

Tām kathām kauśiko rāme nivedya madhurākṣaram, punar evāparam vākyam kākutstham idam abravīt/ ayodhyādhipatiḥ śūraḥ pūrvam āsīn narādhipaḥ, sagaro nāma dharmātmā prajākāmaḥ sa cāprajaḥ/ vaidarbhaduhitā rāma keśinī nāma nāmataḥ, jyeṣṭhā sagarapatnī sā dharmiṣṭhā satyavādinī/ ariṣṭanemiduhitā rūpeṇāpratimā bhuvi, dvitīyā sagarasyāsīt patnī sumatisamjñitā/ tābhyām saha tadā rājā patnībhyām taptavāms tapah, himavantam samāsādya bhrguprasravane girau/ atha varsa śate

pūrne tapasārādhito munih, sagarāya varam prādād bhrguh satyavatām varah apatyalābhah sumahān bhavisyati tavānagha, kīrtim cāpratimām loke prāpsyase purusarsabha/ ekā janayitā tāta putram vamśakaram tava, şastim putrasahasrāṇi aparā janayişyati/ bhāṣamāṇam naravyāghram rājapatnyau prasādya tam, ūcatuh paramaprīte kṛtāñjalipuṭe tadā/ ekah kasyāḥ suto brahman kā bahūñ janayiṣyati, śrotum icchāvahe brahman satyam astu vacas tava/ tayos tad vacanam śrutvā bhṛguḥ parama dhārmikaḥ, uvāca paramām vāṇīm svacchando 'tra vidhīyatām/ eko vamsakaro vāstu bahavo vā mahābalāḥ, kīrtimanto mahotsāhāḥ kā vā kam varam icchati/ munes tu vacanam śrutvā keśinī raghunandana, putram vamsakaram rāma jagrāha nrpasamnidhaw Shastim putrasahasrāni suparnabhaginī tadā, mahotsāhān kīrtimato jagrāha sumatih sutān/ pradaksinam rsim krtvā śirasābhipranamya ca, jagāma svapuram rājā sabhāryā raghunandana/ atha kāle gate tasmiñ jyeṣṭhā putram vyajāyata, asamañja iti khyātam keśinī sagarātmajam/ sumatis tu naravyāghra garbhatumbam vyajāyata, sastih putrasahasrāni tumbabhedād vinihsṛtāh/ ghṛtapūrnesu kumbhesu dhātryas tān samavardhayan, kālena mahatā sarve yauvanam pratipedire/ atha dīrgheṇa kālena rūpayauvanaśālinah, şaṣṭiḥ putrasahasrāṇi sagarasyābhavaṁs tadā/ sa ca jyeştho naraśreştha sagarasyātmasambhavah, bālān grhītvā tu jale sarayvā raghunandana, prakṣipya prahasan nityam majjatas tān nirīkṣya vai/ paurāṇām ahite yuktaḥ pitrā nirvāsitaḥ purāt, tasya putro 'mśumān nāma asamañjasya vīryavān, sammatah sarvalokasya sarvasyāpi priyamvadah/ tataḥ kālena mahatā matiḥ samabhijāyata, sagarasya naraśreṣṭha yajeyam iti niścitā./ sa kr̥tvā niścayam rājā sopādhyāyaganas tadā, yajñakarmani vedajño yastum samupacakrame/ Brahmarshi Vishvamitra then addressed Rama Lakshmanas and related to the episode of Dharmatma Sagara Chakravarti of Ayodhya in the remote past whose Dharmapatni Keshini of Vidarbha Desha who too was a Satyayaadini. His second wife was named Sumati, the daughter of Arishtanemi Kashyapa and the sister of Garuda Deva. Sagara Chakravarti performed tapasya in the Himalaya Range along with his wives atop on the Bhriguprastravana Shikhara. After a century long tapsya, Maharshi Bhrigu blessed the Chakravati that he would be famed in the entire universe till eternity and blessed him with several sons; he affirmed that one of the queens would beget a single son and another with sixty thousand sons. The King was overwhelmed with the boon of the Maharshi and politely enquired as to which of the Queens would beget only a single but famed 'vamshoddhaaraka' son; in turn the Maharshi asked the spouses about their individual preferences.. Then the highly enthusiastic younger wife Sumati the brother of Garuda relplied that she would prefer strong sons of collective might and fame like Garuda himself, but Devi Keshini opted for a son like her Emporer husband, an outstanding example of virtue and justice with grit to sustain the Vamsha. Sagara and wives then prostrated and returned to the capital of the Empire. After a lapse of months, Devi Keshini gave birth to 'Asamanjasa' and Devi Sumati gave birth to a huge pot from which emerged sixty thousand sons of strengh and brightness. As years rolled on, the Charavarty became a renowned father of an army-like sons of supremacy and command. Asamanajasa used to collect youngsters of the empire to compete in swimming and enjoy himself vicariuosly and the parents kept on complaining to Sagara who got worried initially and finally banished him out. The forlorn chakravarti finally decided to a Maha Yagina.

Sarga Thirty Nine

Viśvāmitravacaḥ śrutvā kathānte raghunandana, uvāca paramaprīto munim dīptam ivānalam/ śrotum ichāmi bhadram te vistareṇa kathām imām, pūrvako me katham brahman yajñam vai samupāharat/ viśvāmitras tu kākutstham uvāca prahasann iva, śrūyatām vistaro rāma sagarasya mahātmanaḥ/ śamkaraśvaśuro nāma himavān acalottamaḥ, vindhyaparvatam āsādya nirīkṣete parasparam/ tayor madhye pravṛtto 'bhūd yajñaḥ sa puruṣottama, sa hi deśo naravyāghra praśasto yajñakarmaṇi/ tasyāśvacaryām kākutstha dṛḍhadhanvā mahārathaḥ, amśumān akarot tāta sagarasya mate sthitaḥ/ tasya parvaṇi tam yajāmm yajamānasya vāsavaḥ, rākṣasīm tanum āsthāya yajñiyāśvam apāharat/ hriyamāṇe tu kākutstha tasminn aśve mahātmanaḥ, upādhyāya gaṇāḥ sarve yajamānam athābruvan/ ayam parvaṇi vegena yajñiyāśvo 'panīyate, hartāram jahi kākutstha hayaś caivopanīyatām/ yajñac chidram bhavaty etat sarveṣām aśivāya naḥ, tat tathā kriyatām rājan yathāchidraḥ kratur bhavet/ upādhyāya vacaḥ śrutvā tasmin sadasi pārthivaḥ, ṣaṣṭim putrasahasrāṇi vākyam etad uvāca ha/ gatim

putrā na paśyāmi raksasām purusarsabhāh, mantrapūtair mahābhāgair āsthito hi mahākratuh/ tad gacchata vicinvadhvam putrakā bhadram astu vah, samudramālinīm sarvām prthivīm anugacchata, ekaikam yojanam putrā vistāram abhigacchata/ yāvat turagasamdaršas tāvat khanata medinīm, tam eva hayahartāram mārgamāṇā mamājñayā/ dīkṣitaḥ pautrasahitaḥ sopādhyāyagaṇo hy aham, iha sthāsyāmi bhadram vo yāvat turagadarśanam/ ity uktvā hṛṣṭamanaso rājaputrā mahābalāḥ, jagmur mahītalam rāma pitur vacanayantritāh/ yojanāyām avistāram ekaiko dharanītalam, bibhiduḥ puruṣavyāghra vajrasparśasamair bhujaih/śūlair aśanikalpaiś ca halaiś cāpi sudāruņaih, bhidyamānā vasumatī nanāda raghunandana/ nāgānām vadhyamānām asurānām ca rāghava, rāksasānām ca durdharsah sattvānām ninado 'bhavat/ yojanānām sahasrāni sastim tu raghunandana, bibhidur dharanīm vīrā rasātalam anuttamam/ evam parvatasambādham jambūdvīpam nṛpātmajāh, khananto nṛpaśārdūla sarvatah paricakramuh/ tato devāh sagandharvāh sāsurāh sahapannagāh, sambhrāntamanasah sarve pitāmaham upāgaman/ te prasādya mahātmānam visannavadanās tadā, ūcuh paramasamtrastāh pitāmaham idam vacah/ bhagavan pṛthivī sarvā khanyate sagarātmajaih, bahavaś ca mahātmāno vadhyante jalacārinah/ ayam yajñahano 'smākam anenāśvo 'panīyate, iti te sarvabhūtāni nighnanti sagarātmajah/ Then as Shri Rama was greatly amused and laughed out loudly at the proceedings of the episode of Sagara Chakravarti and Brahmarshi Vishvamitra too was encouraged and continued. The Maha Yagina was planned by Sagara in the Aryavarta Desha which was in between the Himavan mountain and Vindhya parvata. The Sacrifice Horse was launched and released under the supervision of Maharathi Amshuman the renowned 'dhanurdhara'. But the Sacrifice Horse disappeared suddenly as was robbed away by Mahendra Himself. Since the launched Horse was missing, the Ritviks felt that it was not a good omen and that somebody appeared to have stolen and the robber be chased fast to recover it. Then presiding over the Yagina, the Chakravarti commanded the sixty thousand mighty Sagara Putras to chase the theif atonce. He further ordered that even if they would have to go round the earth, they ought not return emply handed without the Sacrificial Horse. The Chakravari declared that he would stay put firmly along with the Ritviks and Amshuman. The mighty sixty thousand strong Sagara Putras divided the territories of earth and left in grand groups and pierced earth with their swords and trishulas so fiercely that bhudevi looked to have wept with excruciating pain. In the process, the entire earth all over' jambu dwipa' was dug up deep upside down as there were alarms of humans, animals and birds attracting the attention of celestials too as though there were repetitive and alarming earthquakes. The rattled celestials like Gandharvaas, as also Asuras, and Maha Sarpas from the earth down under being alarmed approached Brahma Deva and complained: Bhagavan prthivī sarvā khanyate sagarātmajaih, bahavaś ca mahātmāno vadhyante jalacāriṇaḥ/ ayam yajñahano 'smākam anenāśvo 'panīyate, iti te sarvabhūtāni nighnanti sagarātmajah/ Brahma Deva! Sagara Chakravarti's sixty thousand strong sons of extraordinary physical prowess have broken down hells on earth and are digging earth deep under on the plea of searching for 'Yagnaashva' of Sagara's 'maha yaginya' and as a result earth had been dug up deep and entered the 'paatala lokas' too in a manner that the natives of earth and the nether lokas too are being decimated mercilessly and hence we are frightened being on the fringes of death!

Sarga Forty

Devatānām vacaḥ śrutvā bhagavān vai pitāmahaḥ, pratyuvāca susamtrastān krtāntabalamohitān/
yasyeyam vasudhā krtsnā vāsudevasya dhīmataḥ, kāpilam rūpam āsthāya dhārayaty aniśam dharām/
prthivyāś cāpi nirbhedo drṣṭa eva sanātanaḥ, sagarasya ca putrāṇām vināśo 'dīrghajīvinām/ pitāmaha vacaḥ śrutvā trayas trimśad arimdamaḥ, devāḥ paramasamhrṣṭāḥ punar jagmur yathāgatam/ sagarasya
ca putrāṇām prādur āsīn mahātmanām, prthivyām bhidyamānāyām nirghāta sama niḥsvanaḥ/ tato
bhittvā mahīm sarvām krtvā cāpi pradakṣiṇam, sahitāḥ sagarāḥ sarve pitaram vākyam abruvan/
parikrāntā mahī sarvā sattvavantaś ca sūditāḥ, devadānavarakṣāmsi piśācoragakimnarāḥ/ na ca
paśyāmahe 'śvam tam aśvahartāram eva ca, kim kariṣyāma bhadram te buddhir atra vicāryatām/ teṣām
tad vacanam śrutvā putrāṇām rājasattamaḥ,samanyur abravīd vākyam sagaro raghunandana/ bhūyaḥ
khanata bhadram vo nirbhidva vasudhātalam, aśvahartāram āsādva krtārthāś ca nivartatha/ pitur

vacanam āsthāya sagarasya mahātmanah, sastih putrasahasrāni rasātalam abhidravan/ khanyamāne tatas tasmin dadrsuh parvatopamam, disagajam virūpāksam dhārayantam mahītalam/ saparvatavanām kṛtsnām pṛthivīm raghunandana, śirasā dhārayām āsa virūpākṣo mahāgajah/ ya yadā parvaṇi kākutstha viśramārtham mahāgajaḥ, khedāc cālayate śīrṣam bhūmikampas tadhā bhavet/ tam te pradakṣiṇam kṛtvā diśāpālam mahāgajam, mānavanto hi te rāma jagmur bhittvā rasātalam/ tatah pūrvām diśam bhittvā dakşinām bibhiduh punah, dakşinasyām api diśi dadrśus te mahāgajam/ mahāpadmam mahātmānam sumahāparvatopamam, śirasā dhārayantam te vismayam jagmur uttamam/ tataḥ pradakṣiṇam kṛtvā sagarasya mahātmanah, sastih putrasahasrāni paścimām bibhidur diśam/ paścimāvām api diśi mahāntam acalopamam, diśāgajam saumanasam dadršus te mahābalāh/ tam te pradaksinam krtvā pṛstvā cāpi nirāmayam, khanantah samupakrāntā diśam somavatīm tadā/ uttarasyām raghuśrestha dadṛśur himapānduram, bhadram bhadrena vapusā dhārayantam mahīm imām/ samālabhya tatah sarve kṛtvā cainam pradaksinam, sastih putrasahasrāni bibhidur vasudhātalam/ tatah prāguttarām gatvā sāgarāḥ prathitām diśam, roṣād abhyakhanan sarve pṛthivīm sagarātmajāḥ/ dadṛśuḥ kapilam tatra vāsudevam sanātanam, havam ca tasva devasva carantam avidūratah/ te tam vainahanam inātvā krodhaparvākuleksanāh, abhvadhāvanta samkruddhās tistha tistheti cābruvan/ asmākam tvam hi turagam yajñiyam hṛtavān asi, durmedhas tvam hi samprāptān viddhi naḥ sagarātmajān/ śrutvā tad vacanam teṣām kapilo raghunandana, roṣeṇa mahatāviṣṭo humkāram akarot tadā/ tatas tenāprameyena kapilena mahātmanā. bhasmarāśīkrtāh sarve kākutstha sagarātmajāh/

As Devatas and even the species of the nether worlds frantically appealed toBrahma Deva against the atrocities on earth and thereunder as perpetrated by Sagara Putras, Brahma Deva replied: 'Yasyeyam' vasudhā kṛtsnā vāsudevasya dhīmataḥ, kāpilaṁ rūpam āsthāya dhārayaty aniśaṁ dharām/ pṛthivyāś cāpi nirbhedo drsta eva sanātanah, sagarasya ca putrānām vināśo 'dīrghajīvinām/ Devaadi ganaas! This entire Bhumi is the possession of Vaasudava Himself. Vishnu Himself always assumes the form of Kapila Maharshi and safeguards earth and soon the Sagara's sons would be burnt down to ashes. Prithvi's breakdown is inevitable in each 'kalpa' of the time cycle and the provoctive cause this time is due to the deeds of Sagara's sons. Hence you need not terribly get agitated! On hearing the assuring statement of Brahma Deva the delegation of Devas and others were contented and that the menace of Sagara Putras would soon be terminated. As Sagara putras were still at the task of digging deep and distressfully, there was a thunderous roaring from the high skies and seemed to have shouted addressing Sagara Chakravarti that the have had dug of too deep down the earth but there was no trace of the missing Yaginaashva and they would like to receive a message from him for his command. On hearing the message, the single minded and decidedly angry Sagara Chakravarti shouted back: Bhūyah khanata bhadram vo nirbhidya vasudhātalam, aśvahartāram āsādya kṛtārthāś ca nivartatha/ pitur vacanam āsthāya sagarasya mahātmanaḥ, ṣaṣṭiḥ putrasahasrāṇi rasātalam abhidravan/ khanyamāne tatas tasmin dadṛśuḥ parvatopamam, diśāgajam virūpākṣam dhārayantam mahītalam/ Sons! Proceed further digging deeper and you should return only after recovering the Sacrifice Horse only! As per the clear and anguished reply from their revered father, Sagara Kumaras entered 'Rasaatala'.

<u>Vishleshana on Adho Lokas</u> [The lokas underneath the Seas occupy as much an area as Prithvi; the span of Earth is seventy thousand yojanas, height too is as much. The expanse of Patalas too is as much; these lokas are Atala, Vitala, Nitala, Sutala, Talatala, Rasatala and Patalas and each of these lokas has an expanse of ten thousand yojanas. The colour of these lokas is black, white, yellow, red, grey and golden respectively. The inhabitants of these lokas are Daityas, Danvaas and Nagas. These lokas enjoy extreme illumination from the 'Manis'(diamonds) on the hoods of the Nagas. The inhabitant serpents and Daityas revel in themselves with festivities and luxurious delicacies of food, wine and intoxication for long hours of time without concerns and worries. They enjoy good time by way of swims in Sarovaras, rivers and lotus-ponds and deal with all kinds of valuable possessions. Underneath these Lokas shines Bhagavan Vishnu's 'Tamoguna Rupas' as Sesha Naga named as Anantha, worshipped by Siddhas, Devatas, Devarshis and Daityas alike. Lying under the entire Universe, the mighty Sesha Deva bears the brunt of the Prithvi and the 'Charaachara Jagat. Source Brahma Purana'].

As Sagara Kumaras entered 'Rasatala', a mountain like Diggaja was as Virupaksha which supports earth was visioned on the sky. When ever this 'diggaja' seeks to rest then there are earthquakes. [Earth is stated as being protected from eight directions be celestial elephants protecting the Eight Directions viz. North, South, East and West and their spouses North East, South East, North West and South West] Sagara putras made a parikrama or circumambulation of the Diggaja while seeking entry into Rasatala. As the commenced digging up Rasatala from the western side they found the diggaja and then visioned another Diggaja named Shvetabhadra supporting Earth again. As the Sagara Kumaras continued the digging of Rasaatala for the missing Sacrificial Horse, Bhagavan Vishnu in the form of Kapila Maharshi reddened his eyes while the mighty Sagara Putras were engrossed in the unilateral task of digging again and again. They finally found the Sagara Chakravartis Yagnyaashva just near around the Maharshi. asmākam tvam hi turagam vajñiyam hrtavān asi, durmedhas tvam hi samprāptān viddhi nah sagarātmajān/ śrutvā tad vacanam teṣām kapilo raghunandana, roṣena mahatāviṣṭo humkāram akarot tadā/ tatas tenāprameyena kapilena mahātmanā, bhasmarāśīkṛtāḥ sarve kākutstha sagarātmajāḥ/ As soon as hardworking Sagara Putras cited the 'Yagnaashva' grazing in the vicinity of a Maharshi, they started shouting with anger with pent up emotions of frustrations for several days and nights stating 'you the wicked Maharshi! how dare you had hidden the Sacrificial Horse here as it had been grazing grass coolly here; now we the mighty have arrived; be it well realised that we are the mighty sons of the almighty Chakravarti Sagara himself! The Maharshi on hearing the braggings of Sagara Kumaras made a 'humkaara' in raging fury and the totality of the sixty thousand valiant force were burnt to ashes.

Vishleshana on Kapila Maharshi: Kapila Maharshi is named for Saankhya Yoga viz. Samanvaya: Understanding by Interpretation. Upanishads and Vedas too comprehend the basis of Awareness about the original cause of Existence and of the Universe. It is only by that Supreme Conciousness that the Ancient Sciptures seek to comprehend but not by a secondary Source of what is loosly designated as the Self Consciousness as Sankhya Yogas interpret; indeed, the Self as an individual is Brahman and is not a separate entity either. Brahma Purana explains how King Vena abandoned Vedas and all precepts of Dharma but the huge gathering of Sages over powered and killed the King, while Kapila advised the Sages to churn the King's thighs and recoverd Nishads or hunters even as from Vena's right hand Prithu Chakravarti was manifested! The latter saved Earth again from 'akaala' due to lack of very long rainlessness for severral yoears drought and BhuDevi came happy and green all over with crops! Brahma Purana also mentions Sage Kapila in the context of Sagara Chakravarti's thousand strong sons seeking to Pandava's Ashvamedha Yagjna's sacrificial and disturbed Kapila Maharshi -Vishnu Hmself?-in his deep sleep and when got awoken, the brilliance in his eyes burnt all the thousand strong progeny but four of Sagara's fore fathers to ashes, leaving few survivors of the family lineage.

Sarga Forty One

Putrāms ciragatān jnātvā sagaro raghunandana, naptāram abravīd rājā dīpyamānam svatejasā/ sūras ca kṛtavidyas ca pūrvais tulyo 'si tejasā, pitṛṇām gatim anviccha yena cāsvo 'pahāritaḥ/antarbhaumāni sattvāni vīryavanti mahānti ca, teṣām tvam pratighātārtham sāsim gṛḥṇīṣva kārmukam/ abhiādyābhi - vādyāms tvam hatvā vighnakarān api, siddhārthaḥ samnivartasva mama yajnasya pāragaḥ/ evam ukto 'msumān samyak sagareṇa mahātmanā, dhanur ādāya khaḍgam ca jagāma laghuvikramaḥ/ sa khātam pitṛbhir mārgam antarbhaumam mahātmabhiḥ, prāpadyata naraśreṣṭha tena rājnābhicoditaḥ/ Deva daityadānavarakṣobhiḥ pisācapatagoragaiḥ, pūjyamānam mahātejā disāgajam apaśyata/ sa tam pradakṣiṇam kṛtvā pṛṣṭvā caiva nirāmayam, pitṛn sa paripapraccha vājihartāram eva ca/ disāgajas tu tac chrutvā prītyāhāmśumato vacaḥ, āsamanjakṛtārthas tvam sahāśvaḥ sīghram eṣyasi/ tasya tad vacanam śrutvā sarvān eva disāgajān, yathākramam yathānyāyam praṣṭum samupacakrame/ taiś ca sarvair disāpālair vākyajnair vākyakovidaiḥ, pūjitaḥ sahayaś caiva gantāsīty abhicoditaḥ/ teṣām tad vacanam śrutvā jagāma laghuvikramaḥ, bhasmarāsīkṛtā yatra pitaras tasya sāgarāḥ/ sa duḥkhavaśam

āpannas tv asamañjasutas tadā, cukrośa paramārtas tu vadhāt teṣām suduḥkhitaḥ/yajñiyam ca hayam tatra carantam avidūrataḥ, dadarśa puruṣavyāghro duḥkhaśokasamanvitaḥ/ dadarśa puruṣavyāghro kartukāmo jalakriyām, salilārthī mahātejā na cāpaśyaj jalāśayam/ visārya nipuṇām dṛṣṭim tato 'paśyat khagādhipam, pitṣṇām mātulam rāma suparṇam anilopamam/ sa cainam abravīd vākyam vainateyo mahābalaḥ, mā śucaḥ puruṣavyāghra vadho 'yam lokasammataḥ/ kapilenāprameyena dagdhā hīme mahābalāḥ, salilam nārhasi prājña dātum eṣām hi laukikam/ gaṅgā himavato jyeṣṭhā duhitā puruṣarṣabha, bhasmarāśīkṛtān etān pāvayel lokapāvanī/ tayā klinnam idam bhasma gaṅgayā lokakāntayā, ṣaṣṭim putrasahasrāṇi svargalokam nayiṣyati/ gaccha cāśvam mahābhāga saṃgṛhya puruṣarṣabha, yajñam paitāmaham vīra nirvartayitum arhasi/ suparṇavacanam śrutvā so 'mśumān ativīryavān, tvaritam hayam ādāya punar āyān mahāyaśāḥ/ tato rājānam āsādya dīkṣitam raghunandana, nyavedayad yathāvṛttam suparṇavacanam tathā/ tac chrutvā ghorasamkāśam vākyam amśumato nṛpaḥ, yajñam nirvartayām āsa yathākalpam yathāvidhi/ svapuram cāgamac chrīmān iṣṭayajño mahīpatiḥ, gaṅgāyāś cāgame rājā niścayam nādhyagacchata/ agatvā niścayam rājā kālena mahatā mahān, trimśadvarṣasahasrāṇi rājyam kṛtvā divam gataḥ/

Maharshi Vishvamitra continued the episode of how the Sagara Putras were burnt off as ashes, he asked his grandson Amshumaan as to what might have happened to the Sagara Putras despatched to locate the Sacrificial Horse as it was a long time that they departed. Then Amshuman volunteered to depart and find out about the position of his uncles. Chakavarti alerted the grandson to be very vigilant as he might encounter potent and enemic elements all the way and hence should be well armed with swords and archery. He further alerted that some persons of cunningness and misleadings might also be faced and such persons would need to be killed mercilessly. Thus having accorded an auspicious farewell. As Amshuman on entering Rasatala came across the diggaja Virupaksha as the former prostrated and the diggaja blessingly indicated that he would return soon return with the Yaginaashva. Amshuman no doubt secured the Yanaasva but was horrified to see the huge heaps of human ashes laid on the long streches on land. Amshuman realised that the entire Sagara sena was no more and started crying away for long. Then he found the 'Yagnyashva' moving nearby. Amshuman then desired to greet the ashes and looked for any water reserves nearby and serched a lot. Looking up at the high skies, he being equipped with the ability to vision far and high spotted the Pakshi Raja Garuda who was the uncle of Sagara Putras as Devi Vinata the wife of Kashyapa begot Garuda the Vishnu vahana and Aruna the charioteer of the eka chakra of Surya Deva. Garuda Deva flew down and consoled Amshuman not to cry much as what all had happened was all for Loka Kalyana in the times ahead.. Garuda Deva further stated that Maharshi Kapila being Vishnu himself had turned Sagara Putras for a purpose and hence it was not proper to perform 'jalaanjali' for the departed ones. He further stated that 'tarpanas' to the departed ones might as well be performed with the sacred waters of Ganga; Garuda aaserted to Amshuman: Gangā himavato jyesthā duhitā puruşarşabha, bhasmarāśīkṛtān etān pāvayel lokapāvanī/ tayā klinnam idam bhasma gangayā lokakāntayā, şastim putrasahasrāni svargalokam nayişyati/ Narashreshtha! Himavan's elder daughter Devi Ganga be brought down to bhuloka from her celestial abode. Garuda further advised to return back to the Kingdom along with the Sacrificial Horse for the time being. On return King Sagara heard as to what all happened from Amnshuman especially about the imperative of inviting the celestial lokas down to earth and relieve the Souls of the Sagara Kumaras. King Sagara then dutifully performed the Maha Ashva medha yagina and after ruling the kingdom for thirty thosand years passed away peacefully.

Sarga Forty Two

Kāladharmam gate rāma sagare prakrtījanāḥ, rājānam rocayām āsur amśumantam sudhārmikam/ sa rājā sumahān āsīd amśumān raghunandana, tasya putro mahān āsīd dilīpa iti viśrutaḥ/ tasmin rājyam samāveśya dilīpe raghunandana, himavacchikhare ramye tapas tepe sudāruṇam/ dvādtrimśac ca sahasrāṇi varṣāṇi sumahāyaśāḥ, tapovanagato rājā svargam lebhe tapodhanaḥ/ dilīpas tu mahātejāḥ śrutvā paitāmaham vadham, duḥkhopahatayā buddhyā niścayam nādhyagacchata/ katham gaṅgāva -

taranam katham tesām jalakriyā, tārayeyam katham caitān iti cintā paro 'bhayat/ tasya cintayato nityam dharmena viditātmanah, putro bhagīratho nāma jajñe paramadhārmikah/ dilīpas tu mahātejā yajñair bahubhir istavān, trimsadvarsasahasrāņi rājā rājyam akāraya/ agatvā niscayam rājā tesām uddharaṇam prati, vyādhinā naraśārdūla kāladharmam upeyivān/ indralokam gato rājā svārjitenaiva karmanā, ramve bhagīratham putram abhisicva nararsabhah/ bhagīrathas tu rājarsir dhārmiko raghunandana, anapatyo mahātejāḥ prajākāmaḥ sa cāprajaḥ/ sa tapo dīrgham ātiṣṭhad gokarṇe raghunandana, ūrdhvabāhuḥ pañcatapā māsāhāro jitendriyaḥ/ tasya varṣasahasrāṇi ghore tapasi tisthatah, suprīto bhagayān brahmā prajānām patir īśyarah/ tatah suraganaih sārdham upāgamya pitāmahah, bhagīratham mahātmānam tapyamānam athābravīt/ bhagīratha mahābhāga prītas te 'ham janeśvara, tapasā ca sutaptena varam varaya suvrata/ tam uvāca mahātejāh sarvalokapitāmaham, bhagīratho mahābhāgah kṛtāñjalir avasthitah/ yadi me bhagavān prīto yady asti tapasah phalam, sagarasyātmajāh sarve mattah salilam āpnuyuh/ gaṅgāyāh salilaklinne bhasmany esāṁ mahātmanām, svargam gaccheyur atyantam sarve me prapitāmahāḥ/ deyā ca samtator deva nāvasīdet kulam ca naḥ, ikṣvākūṇām kule deva eṣa me 'stu varaḥ paraḥ/ uktavākyam tu rājānam sarvalokapitāmahaḥ, pratyuvāca śubhām vānīm madhurām madhurāksarām/ manoratho mahān esa bhagīratha mahāratha, evam bhavatu bhadram te ikṣvākukulavardhana/ iyam haimavatī gangā jyeṣṭhā himavataḥ sutā, tām vai dhārayitum rājan haras tatra niyujyatām/ gangāyāh patanam rājan pṛthivī na sahişyate, tau vai dhārayitum vīra nānyam paśyāmi śūlinah/ tam evam uktvā rājānam gangām cābhāsya lokakṛt, jagāma tridivam devah saha sarvair marudganaih/

Shri Rama! Consequent upon the death of Sagara Chakravarti, the entire public of the Kingdom unanimously chose Amshumaan as the King. Thereafter the illustrious Amshuman having ruled over the kingdom for ever thirty thousand years, departed for tapasya on the heights of Himalayas and thereafter reached swarja loka. Meanwhile King Amshuman's son Dilip who subsequently became the King recalled that that Chakravarti Sagara's famed sons who were his ancestors could not attain salvation yet due to the reason of Maha Garuda's directive that only the flows of Sacred Ganga could redeem. King Dilip kept on wondering through out his life as to how to bring down from the skies; meanwhile he was blessed with a son as named **Bhagiratha** who even from childhood outstanding traits of Dharma and what was more interesting was of grit and determination. The King Dilip who too proved himself as a King of virtuosity lived for thirty thousand years having well sustained the traditional values of Kingship established by the immemorial Sagara Chakravarti himself, even as planning ambitiously as to how best to bring Devi Ganga down to earth and at the end was welcomed into Imndra Loka. As Bhagiratha assumed Kingship, it looked that all the celesials came down and witnessed the royal ceremonies. He ruled the Kingdom strictly on the basis of the well established precepts of Dharma and Nyaya for good number of years but as there was no further progeny forthcoming for long, the divine duty of bringing Ganga down to earth became intense day after day and having determined so entrusted the responsibility of Kingship to his Ministers and retited to severe tapasya at the Punya kshetra Gokarna.

Vishleshana on Gokarna Kshetra: Gokarna Kshetra: Atha Gokarnamaasaadya Trishu lokeshu vishrutam, Samudra madhye Rajendra Sarva loka namaskrutam/ Yatra Brahmaadayo Devaa Manushyascha tapodhanaah, Bhuta Yakshaah Pishasas -cha Kinnraah samagoragaah/ Siddha Chaarana Gandhharvaa Maanushaah Pannagaastathadhaa, Saritah Saagarah shailaa upaasita Umapatim/ Tareshaanam samabhyarcha Tri raatroposhito narah, Dashaaswedhaamaapnoti Gaanapatyam cha vindati/ Uposhya dwaadashaa raatram krutaartho jaayate narah, Tasminneva tu Gayatryaah sthaanam trilokya vishrutam/ Triraatramushitastatra gosahasra phalam labhet/ (The fame of Gokarna is well known all over the Trilokaas, as greeted to all the Lokaas in the Sumudras. All the Loka are greeted to Maha Deva Shankara to whom Brahmaadi Devas, Tapodhan Rishis, Bhuta-Yaksha-Pishcacha-Kinnara-Naaga-Siddha-Chaarana-Gandharva-Manushya-Saagara-Sarita- Parvataadis do always prostrate and worship. Among all these species who observe fasting for three nights at a strech are stated to secure the performance of ten Ashwamedha Yagina phala and a senior member of Shiva ganas and in the case of fasting twelve nights

accomplish Shiva Sayuja itself! At Gokarna, the Place of Devi Gayatri who is the most revered and the most popular Deity among the three lokas and here if ove performs fasting for three nights continuously is stated to be eligible for achieving thousand Go-danaas!) The Gokarna Kshetra-one of the Mukti Kshetras acclaimed by Parashurama- which is situated in North Karnataka near Mangalore in Western India along with Karwar coast of Arabian Sea and Western Ghats, literally meaning the Cow's ear, is the abode of Mahabaleshwar the Maha Deva of Physical strength. Lord Shiva emerged from the cow likened to Mother Earth and the shape of the Kshetra is of a ear too at the confluence of two rivers viz. Gangavali Aghanashani. Varaha Purana describes that Bhagavan Shankara assumed the form of a deer and moved around freely once; Brahma Deva, Indra and other Devas searched for Maha Deva but could not till they realised finally that Shiva assumed the swarupa of a deer. They tried to seize the horns but Shiva as the deer disappeared though the horns were caught. One horn was established at Gokarna, another at Bhagalpur, Bihar as Shringeshwara and the third at Indra Loka. Maha Bhagavata describes that Ravanasura, the Epic Villain of Ramayana, pleased Maha Deva and secured the boon of Shiva's Atma Linga and desired to carry the Linga to his Kingdom in Lanka; Sage Narada scented about the boon given by Shiva to Rayana and got worried that the Asura would become immortal by worshipping the Atma Linga daily; he alerted Lord Vishnu who spread the net of Vishnu Maya and Ravana felt that evening was nearing for his Snaana-Sandhya Puja Vidhi; he beckoned a passer by cow herd boy to hold the Atma Linga just for a while but the boy- who actually was Lord Ganesha who was prewarned by Narada-replied that he was in a great hurry and could not wait but would call Ravana by his name thrice; even while Ganesha in disguise shouted Ravana's name thrice, the latter just returned but the Atma Linga was kept on ground and the boy disappeared. He made all his efforts to lift up the Linga but to no avail. In the process of the struggle, only the top portion of the Linga fell at Gokarna and the rest of the pieces of the Linga were thrown away at Suratkal where Sadashiva Temple was built and other pieces fell on Sajjeshwara, Guneshwara and Dhareshwara some kms. of distances away, while the cloth covering the Atma Linga fell off at Mrideshwara now called Marudeshwara at Kanduka Hill surrounded by three sides by Arabian Sea. Mahabaleshwara at Gokarna Kshetra has established great significance-even as other places like Sajjeshwara.].

Bhagiratha having renounced Kingdom performed deep tapasya at the Maha Tirtha of Gokarna; Bhagīrathas tu rājarsir dhārmiko raghunandana, anapatyo mahātejāh prajākāmah sa cāprajah/ sa tapo dīrgham ātiṣṭhad gokarṇe raghunandana, ūrdhvabāhuḥ pañcatapā māsāhāro jitendriyaḥ/ tasya varşasahasrāni ghore tapasi tişthatah, suprīto bhagavān brahmā prajānām patir īśvarah/ Having enrusted the duties of Kingship to his Ministers, Mahrma Bhagiratha retired to deep tapasya at the popular Gokarna Tirtha with the singular detrermination of bringing Devi Ganga to bhuloka from the high skies. The tapasya was stated to have exceeded for thousand years as he kept his shoulders erect and atop with unbent knees while worshipping the Five Fires with unfailing limb control, while eating morsels of food on monthly basis. Brahma Deva was pleased with the rigorous tapasya and asked him for a boon. Bhagiratha replied: yadi me bhagavān prīto yady asti tapasah phalam, sagarasyātmajāh sarve mattah salilam āpnuyuh/ gaṅgāyāh salilaklinne bhasmany eṣām mahātmanām, svargam gaccheyur atyantam sarve me prapitāmahāh/ deyā ca samtator deva nāvasīdet kulam ca nah, iksvākūnām kule deva esa me 'stu varah parah/ Brahma Deva!! As you are pleased, do bless me to enable me to bring Devi Ganga from the high skies to earth so that my ancestors get purified with her flows so that the latter could be purified and attain salvation. He further requested that his posterity of Ikshvaku Vamsha be glorious for ever. Brahma Deva replied: Bhagiratha! As you have the viruous ambition to bless the past and future

generations, I am happy to approve both of your justifiable proposals. Devi Ganga being the elder sister of Devi Parvati the splendor of Parama Shiva, my advice to you should be to pray and please Him.

Moreover, Bhudevi would not be able to withstand the force and fury of Devi Ganga from the high skies, the solution should be to meditate to Trishuladhaari Maha Deva foremost.

Visleshana on Bhagiratha:

Brahma Vaivarta Purana is quoted briefly about "Ganga': Bhagirath's efforts, Puja to her and final restoration as Vishnu's wife: Of the two wives of King Sagara viz. Vaidarbhi and Shaibya, Asamanjasa was born to Shaibya while Vaidarbhi delivered a 'Maamsa pinda' (piece of meat); Vaidarbhi meditated to Bhagavan Shankara sincerely and the latter arrived in the form of a Brahmana and cut the piece of meat into thousand pieces and turned out as so many sons. As they grew of age, the thousand sons accompanied a Rajasuya Yagna's horse of King Sagara and behaved flippantly with Kapila Muni while in Tapasya and the furious Muni burnt off the thousand sons into ash. As the King approached the Muni for clemency, the latter assured that if Sacred Ganga were brought from heavens to the ashes of the sons cursed by him, their souls would attain salvation. Asamanjasa and his son Amshuman resorted to Tapasya to Devi Ganga for long time and died but the son of Amshuman named the legendary Bhagirath was fortunate to vision Shri Krishna who in turn instructed Devi Ganga who in any case was to descend to Bhuloka owing to Sarasvati's curse and the pursuant dispensation of Bhagavan Vishnu. Shri Krishna blessed Ganga not only to provide Mukti to Sagara's sons but purify the sins of the troubled human beings through out Kali Yuga who would bathe in Ganga and worship her; even by saying 'Gangey Gangey' from a distance the devotees would be relieved of their sins and if per chance any Prani died while touching Ganga, that Prani would surely attain Vaikuntha! Narada Muni enquired of Narayana Maharshi about the formal procedure of worship to Ganga desirous of reaping maximum advantages. In fact, King Bhagirath was stated to have followed the following procedure as described by the Maharshi. He performed worship to six Deities before qualifying the puja to Ganga Devi, viz. Shri Ganesha, Bhagavan Surya, Agni Deva, Vishnu, Shiva and Bhagavati Parvati. Subsequently, Bhagiratha prayed to Devi Ganga as follows: 'You are pure like the white champaka flower ready to demolish the sins of those worshipping you as you have been materialised by the Vigraha of Paramatma Shri Krishna who had given you the status of thousands of 'Sharatkaala Chandras' as you are the most propitious Narayana Priya, always peaceful and smiling with adornnents of Malati Pushpa garlands, 'chandana bindus' on your broad forehead shining prominently with 'Sinduri bindu'; with pearl like teeth and profusely kind eyes; with such soft feet that put the most delicate white lotus petals to shame; surrounded by Devatas, Siddhas, Muni Ganas and Tapasvis. I greet that Maha Ganga who only knows to bestow boons, purify sinners and enhance the levels of devotees to finally reach peaks of Self-Realisation on par to Mukti. After performing Dhyana on the above lines, the devotee would carry out 'Shodshopa -chaaraas' of Asana, Paadya, Arghya, Snaana, Anulepana, Dhupa, Deepa, Naivedya, Tambula, Sheetala Jala, Vastra, Aabhushana, Maalaa, Chandana, Aachamana and Shayya. Thus dedicating his total self Bharirath requested Ganga to follow that route which passed through where the ashes of Sagara Putras were rested as a result of Muni Kapila's curse, thus receiving the epithet of 'Bhagirathi'. Maharshi Narayana conveyed an interesting episode to Narada about a Radha Mahotsava which was being celebrated on a Kartika Purnima at a Rasamanadali. Devi Saraswati took up her Veena and created melliflous tunes in perfect Tala Swaras and Brahma was delighted to gift a rare 'Ratna' as a gift. Shiva

gifted an invaluable 'Mani', Krishna gifted Koustubha, Devi Radha prsented a wonderful Navaratna Maala and various Devatas gifted their own gifts too. Meanwhile Bhagavan Shankara rendered a fantastic Poem which was scripted with highly envigorating usage of select words that shook up the moods of the Raasleela congregation. On hearing the extraordinary piece of rendition, the entire audience was spell bound in unbelievable rapture and ecstacy and took time to gain normalcy. But the Rasamandala was in deep distress as Radha and Krishna were not traceable. There was an 'Akaasha Vani' or a Celestial Voice which directed Bhagavan Maha Deva to materialise Tantra Shastra and create Mantras and Kavachas that would be appropriate to the Tantras to be thus created. In reply, Shankara made a vow by swearing over 'Gangaajal' which was present in Shiva's 'kamandalu'(vessel) which indeed was the Sangam of Radha and Krishna who were untraceable so far in the Raasa Sabha that was spell bound hitherto pursuant to Shiva's rendition! After the effect of curses by Sarasvati to Ganga and Lakshmi to assume their own Rupas on Martya Loka, lasting for Kali Yuga's five thousand years, the respective Devis reached back to Vaikuntha and including the Rupa of Devi Tulasi got materialised as Four Wives of Shri Hari; these four wives reached their positions, representing also like Four Vedas. Indeed these formations of Sarasvati, Ganga, Tulasi and Lakshmi were of Bhagavan Shri Hari's ramifications

Maha Bhagavatha Puruna quoted:: If Harishandra gave an eternal memory in truthfulness and integrity, a person of the same dynasity proved as a role model in tenacity. His life's mission was to bring Ganges down to Earth from Heavens. Bhagiradha's prayers were indeed granted by Mother Ganges to the devotee but warned him that the force of the flow from the Heavens to Earth could be withstood by no less than Lord Siva Himself! Bhagiradha never stopped his grand endeavour and worshipped Lord Siva with ausretity and purity who agreed, not only because of the sincerity with which the devotee desired to fulfill the long-standing family wish but also owing to the reason of Universal advantage. The Lord assumed a massive body and controlled the force of the River flowing from Lord Vishnu's feet and bore the brunt of the impact on His head in His 'Jatajut' or twisted hairs and released but a portion of the Holy River. Bhagiradha directed the fiery flow by riding a fast Chariot and brought it to the place where the ashes of his forefathers were purified and their souls liberated to Heavens. Till date, humanity continues to be grateful to him for the ever lasting memory of his gigantic efforts in our reaping the fruits of his labour in the huge land-mass covering entire 'Aryavarta' (Northern India)!

Sarga Forty Three

Devadeve gate tasmin so 'nguṣṭhāgranipīḍitām, kṛtvā vasumatīm rāma samvatsaram upāsata/ atha samvatsare pūrne sarvalokanamaskṛtah, umāpatih pasupatī rājānam idam abravīt/ prītas te 'ham naraśrestha karisyāmi tava priyam, śirasā dhārayisyāmi śailarājasutām aham/ tato haimavatī jyesthā sarvalokanamaskṛtā, tadā sātimahad rūpam kṛtvā vegam ca duḥsaham, ākāśād apatad rāma śive śivaśirasy uta/ naiva sā nirgamam lekhe jaṭāmanḍalamohitā, tatraivābabhramad devī samvatsaragaṇān bahūn/ anena tositaś cāsīd atvartham raghunandana, visasarja tato gangām haro bindusarah prati/ gaganāc chamkaraśiras tato dharanim āgatā, vyasarpata jalam tatra tīvraśabdapuraskrtam/ tato devarşigandharvā yakṣāḥ siddhagaṇās tathā, vyalokayanta te tatra gaganād gāṁ gatāṁ tadā/ vimānair nagarākārair hayair gajavarais tathā, pāriplavagatāś cāpi devatās tatra visthitāh/ tad adbhutatamam loke gangā patanam uttamam, didrksavo devaganāh sameyur amitaujasah/ sampatadbhih suraganais tesām cābharanaujasā, śatādityam ivābhāti gaganam gatatoyadam/ śimśumāroragaganair mīnair api ca cañcalaih, vidyudbhir iva vikṣiptair ākāśam abhavat tadā/ pāṇḍuraih salilotpīḍaih kīryamāṇaih sahasradhā, śāradābhrair ivākrītṇam gaganam hamsasamplavaiḥ/ kva cid drutataram yāti kuṭilam kva cid āyatam, vinatam kva cid uddhūtam kva cid yāti śanaih śanaih/ salilenaiva salilam kva cid abhyāhatam punaḥ, muhur ūrdhvapatham gatvā papāta vasudhām punaḥ/ tac chamkaraśirobhraṣṭam bhrastam bhūmitale punah, vyarocata tadā toyam nirmalam gatakalmasam/ tatrarsiganagandharvā vasudhātalavāsinah, bhavāngapatitam toyam pavitram iti paspṛśuh/ śāpāt prapatitā ye ca gaganād vasudhātalam, krtvā tatrābhiṣekam te babhūvur gatakalmaṣāḥ/ dhūpapāpāḥ punas tena toyenātha subhāsvatā, punar ākāśam āviśva svāml lokān pratipedire/ mumude mudito lokas tena tovena bhāsvatā,

kṛtābhiṣeko gaṅgāyām babhūva vigataklamaḥ/ bhagīratho 'pi rājarṣir divyam syandanam āsthitaḥ, prāyād agre mahātejās tam gaṅgā pṛṣṭhato 'nvagāt/ devāḥ sarṣigaṇāḥ sarve daityadānavarākṣasāḥ, gandharvayakṣapravarāḥ sakimnaramahoragāḥ/ sarvāś cāpsaraso rāma bhagīratharathānugā, gaṅgām anvagaman prītāḥ sarve jalacarāś ca ye/ yato bhagīratho rājā tato gaṅgā yaśasvinī, jagāma saritām śreṣṭhā sarvapāpavināśinī/

Maharshi Vishvamitra addressed Shri Rama that after Brahma Deva gave the boon to Bhagiratha who was literally standing with heightened foot fingers, the latter got busy as immersed in invoking Maha Deva. Subsequently Pashupati Shiva too appeared and confirmed: Prītas te 'ham naraśreṣṭha kariṣyāmi tava priyam, sirasā dhārayişyāmi sailarājasutām aham/ tato haimavatī jyeşṭhā sarvalokanamaskṛtā, tadā sātimahad rūpam krtvā vegam ca duhsaham, ākāśād apatad rāma śive śivaśirasy uta/ 'Narashreshtha! I am pleased with your inhuman determination and selfless dedication to some how usher Devi Ganga down to earth and provide salvation to your ancestors; indeed I shall be delighted to fulfil your ambition and help to hold the mighty flows of Ganga into my 'jataajuta' the twisted and coarse head hairs from 'akaasha'. Then Shri Rama! As Paramashiva sanctioned Bhagirath's life time ambition, Himalaya Deva's elder daughter and Devi Parvati's elder sister Devi Ganga readily consented but had only one reservation that as she jumps down to Shiva's jatajuta the flows might further flow down to Patala instead of being held on earth itself! Shiva realised Devi Gangas impertinent remark and decided that he would hide her flows right into his jatajutas. Then Devi Ganga jumped down on Shiva mastaka and he held the flows which got instantly absorbed in the jatajutas. The flows of Ganga lost their way in the labyrinthins of Shiva's jataajuta and the forceful flows could not even reach earth, let alone down to Patala as Ganga wondered. Bhagiratha who had wondered as to where the flows disappeared and once again resorted to deep meditation to Maha Shiva. The latter released one of the forceful flows of Ganga to fall down to Bindu Sarovara as they assumed seven flows of which Hladini-Paavani and Nalini turned east; while Suchakshu-Seeta-and Mahanadi Sindhu flowed westward. Saptamichanvgaat taasaam Bhageeradham tadaa, Bageerayopi Raajarshi divyam syandanamaasthitah/ Praayadagne mahatejaa gangaatam chaapyanuvrajat, gaganaacchhankara shirastato dharanimaagataa/ The seventh flow of Gangafollowed the chariot of Bhagiratha, he had thus accomplished the unique task of bringing Ganga from Shiva's head down to the his following! As the flows of Ganga followed thus, the speed and ferocity of the waves attracted fishes, tortoises and various water borne species joined as earth appeared to have become far richer thereafter. This superb attraction happening on earth instantly raised the curiosity of the celestial beings as though thousand more Suryas got presented by themselkves. As the flows of Ganga got stabilised with speed and thrust gradually near normalcy reached and got widened from bank to bank pushing houses and crop fields too. Gandharvas and several Devas gradually gatherd themselves as the flows of Ganga rolled down from Shiva's head and his unimaginable hairs themselves and eventually crowds of angels took to heartily taking in the pure sweetness of the waters, bathing in them and swimming too thouroughly revelling in the irresistible flows. And so do humans and innumerable other species especially due to their firm and proven belief of the sacred flows and even drops of 'Ganjajala'. In this context, Brahmarshi Vishvamitra addressing Shri Rama affirmed that Deva-Rishi-Daitya-Danava, Rakshasa, Gandharva, Yaksha, Kinnara, Naaga, Sarpa, Apsaras, all the entirety of water species, besides men, women, and animals made fast inroads into the ever purifying flows of Sacred Ganga. Ta to hi yajamaanasya Jahnordbhutakarmanah, gangaa saplaavayaamaasa yagjnavaatam mahatmanah/ Tasyaavalepanam jnaatvaa kruddhho Jahnuscha Ragahva, apibat tu jalam sarvam Gangaayaah paramadbhutam/ As the flows of Ganga are fierce and roaring with nasty sounds, Rajarshi Jahnu was performing a maha yagina, and the furious flows of Ganga entered right into the yagina vedika; the Rajarshi got terribly furious at the alleged arrogance of Ganga and thus drank up the River waters totally in a manner that not even a drop of the River remained on earth. Deva Gandharva Rishis were shocked and stunned at the crisis and prayed collectively to very kindly revive Ganga once again stating that he was a father figure and Devi Ganga his daughter. The Rajarshi was pleased with the prayers and finally released Ganga through his ears and the father daughter relationship got universal recognition eversince.

Vishleshana on Gangotri and Haridwaara

Gangotri: Several and detailed references have been made in Brihaddhama Purana, Maha Bharata Vana Parva, Padma Purana, Skanda Purana, Brahma Purana, Vishnu Purana, Devi Bhagavata, Brahma Vaivarta Purana, Agni Purana, Matsya Purana, Brahmanda Purana, Vayu Purana, Skanda Purana and so on. In fact, Skanda Purana has also provided Ganga Sahasra Naama highlighting Devi Ganga Mahatmya. Na Ganga sadrusham tirtham na Devah Keshavaatparah/ says Padma Purana. Maha Bhagavata describes as follows: Dhatuh kamandalujalam tadurukamasya paadaayanejana payitrayaa Narendra, Swadhurnyana -bhasi saa patati nimaarshi Lokatrayam Bhagavatovishdeva keertih/(Bhagavati Ganga which originated from the left thumb of the Holy feet of Vishnu's three legs spread over the total universe occupying Earth-Higher and Lower Lokas got materialised to wash off the sins of all beings). From Brahama Loka to Himalayas it appeared in streams called Sita, Alaknanda, Chakshu and Bhadra flowing in four directions; the grand and gigantic flow of Alaknanda jumped down the heights of Hemakuta and other mountains towards the southern direction and finally merges into the Great Oceans. The specific Place where Ganga is originated that is Gangotri, is the ideal Place where tarpanas and upavasas are performed and by observing these duties human beings there stated to have accrued the Vajapeya Yagna phala and acquire Brahmatwa: Gangodbhedam samaasadya triraatroposhito Narah, Vajapeyamaapnoti Brahma bhuto bhavet sadaa/ While Ganga is stated to be pure and hallowed, the three Maha Tirthas are stated to be Gangotri, Prayaga and Ganga Sagara or the exit point of merger with the Seas: Trishu snaaeshu durlabha, Gangodbabhe de Prayage Ganga Saagra sangame/ Talking about the dos and dont's of Ganga Snana, Brahmanda Purana emphasises as follows: Achamana, Shoucha, nirmalya-mala visarjana, gatra samyahana, kreeda, pratigraha, rati, anya tirha bhaaya, anya tirtha prashamsha, samtaara or swimming, malotsarga are the twelve tasks to be avoided in Ganga. But most desirable tasks in Ganga are Pitru tarpana with tila mixed water, dahana samskara, tata nivasa or residing at the banks of Ganga Pravaha, Ganga keertana, darshana-sparsha-jala paana, mantra yukta snaana, upavaasa, Veda pathana, Purana shravana, nitya Ganga Smarana, Ganga Sahasra naama stotra, Ganga Vrataacharana, Indira nigraha, Dana prakriya, homaacharana, Sandhya Vandana, Dharmaacharana, and Bhakti bhava in general. Snaana-Tarpana-Pitru Karyaacharana on Solar and Lunar eclipse timings, janma dina worships, parva dina snaana-daana-homa kriyas are all stated to have far reaching phalas. Conducting Yainas would fetch outstanding results.

Haridwar:Swarga dwarena tattulyam Gangadwaram na samshayah, Tartaabhishekam kurvita kotitirthe samahitah/ Labhate Pundarikamcha kulam chaiva samudbhavet, Tatraika ratri vasena gosahasraphalam labhet/ Saptagange trigange cha shakraavate cha tarpayan, Devaan pitruscha vidhivat punye lokey maheeyate/ Tatah kankhale snatwaa triratro poshito narah, Ashwamedhaapnoti Swarga lokam cha gacchati/-Padma Purana, Adikhanda, Tirtha Yatra Parva (Haridwara is undoubtedly akin to Swarga Dwara. Those who bathe at the Ganga there are as good as taking bath at Crores of Tirthas, reaping the fruits of performing Pundarika Yagina and bringing to repute one's own Vamsha. Stavintg at Haridwar over night bestows the return of charities of Sahsra Godaana. Performing Sacred Snanas at the banks of Sapta Ganga, Tri Ganga and Shakravarta and offering Deva Pitru Tarpanas would establish themselves with name and fame in these Lokas; thereafter performing sacred baths at Kankhala and observe fasting for three successive nights shall indeed reap the benefit of Ashwamedha Yagna and after the termination of life shall take to the path of Swarga) Haridwar is also called Haradwar, Ganga Dwaar and Mayapuri. It is stated to be a combine of Five 'Puris' viz. Mayapuri, Haridwar, Kankhal, Jwalapur and Bhimgoda. It was at this Place that Brahmarshi Narada was enlightened by Sapta Rishis by way of a Maha Bhagavata Saptaah in a large gathering of Munis and Vishnu Bhaktas. The most significant spot in Haridwar is Brahma Kunda or what is popularly known as 'Hari ki Pairi'. Besides Ganga Dwar or Brahma kund or Hari ki paidi are situated in Haridwar another four Tirthas viz. Kushavarta, Bilwakesara, Nila Parvata and Kankhal- Gangadware Kushavarte Bilwake Nilaparvate, Snaatwa Kankhale Tirthe punarjanma na vidyate/ (Vidhi poorvaka Snaana and Darshana of Bhagawan Vishnu would certainly qualify for no rebirth and Vaikuntha Prapti at each of these.) These Five Sacred Places represent Pouranic Significance

as follows: Brahma Kunda or Hari ki Pairi or Vishnu's foot steps: Chakravarti Bhagirath had the outstanding reputation of bringing down Ganga from Vishnu's feet in Vaikuntha down to Kailasha as absorbed in the 'Jata jootas' or Maha Deva's course head-hair pleats. As Bhagirath further did Tapsya to Maha Deva, the Holy Ganga flowed down to Earth and another King Sweta prayed to Brahma Deva to let parts of the River to flow to his Kingdom and the flows came upto Brahma Kunda. Since Bhartruhari the brother of King Vikramaditya performed penances to Maha Deva on the banks of Brahma Kund and achieved Salvation, Vikramaditya constructed steps of the Kunda famed subsequently as Hari ki Paidi. This has come down as the legend of the yore. Gavu ghat: The southern side of Brahma Kund has come to acquire the popularity of redeeming Go hatyhadi patakas by the Sacred Bathings at the Gavu ghat. Kushavarta ghat: Once Dattatreya performed severe 'Tapas' on the banks of Ganga not far from Gavu ghat as he kept his belongings viz. Kusha or the mat of Kusha grass, clothing and kamandalu or the water vessel on the banks of Ganga; one fierce wind blew away these items on the banks in circular fashions and since then the Ghat was then christened as Kushavarta. 'Pitru Karyas' and 'Pinda Danas' especially on Mesha Samkranti days are stated to go a long way resulting in 'Punar janma naasti' or no rebirth again. It is at this Ghat there is the Mandir of Shravana nath. Vishnu Ghat, Maya Devi Mandir, Ganesh ghat, Narayani Shila, Niladhara and Nileshwar, Kalimandir, Chandi Mandir, Anjani Mandir being that of Hanuman's mother, and Gouri shankar Mandir are all lined up there. Bilwakeshwar: Not far from 'Hari ki Paidi' the Bilwakeshwara Mandir is stated to the erstwhile abode of Maha Ashwatara Naga of Patala who frequented it for Maha Deva darshan and 'snaanas' at this Tirtha is stated to bestow the Shiva Tulya status. Kankhal: This is the Sacred Tirtha which is the joint flow of Niladhara and Kankhal where nomad Munis used to necessarily halt and wash off all traces of 'Khal' or wickedness. Daksheshwar Maha Deva Mandir assumes outstanding significance in view of its Pouranic background of Daksha Prajapatis's Brihaspati Yagna to which his daughter Sati Devi's non invitation due to his hatred to his son- in- law Parama Shiva but still she attended the Yagna and was extremely offended by her father and as such resorted to the extreme step of self immolation in 'Yogaagni' when Maha Deva went berserk with fury, totally destroyed the yagna and beheaded Daksha Prajapati. With a view to mitigate the unusual fury of Maha Deva, Vishnu had to use his Chakra and quietly sliced off Sati Devi's mortal remains and threw away into fifty one pieces which eventually came to be famed as so many Shakti Peethaas signifying Devi Sati's body parts as are venerated till date with awe and wonder. As Devas prayed to Maha Deva in torrential 'Stutis', He gradually cooled down and being a known embodiment of mercy and forgiveness, relented to the Prayers of Devas and allowed to the beheaded Daksha to replace the latter's head with that of the goat meant for sacrifice at the ruined yagna and revived the Prajapati back to life! That is why this Holy Place is of unsual Mahatmya and yatris to Haridwara and is stated that their yatra would be futile without worship at Daksheshwara Maha Deva! This Holy Tirtha attracts uprecedented yatris on Shiva Ratris for its legendary background! Besides the above Tirthas, Haridwar has other Tirthas too like Sati Kund, Kapila Sthaana, Bhima Gouda, Sapta Dhara, Satya Narayana Mandir and Veerabhadreshwar each of which has their own background! From Haridwar to approx. forty miles is situated *Shuka taal* where Vyasa Maharshi's son Shuka Deva taught Maha Bhagavata Purana within a week's time to Panadava's descendant King Parikshit on the banks of Ganga. Devaband or Devivan some 8 km near Mujaffarnagar off Shaharanpur is known for Durga Mandir where Durga Saptashati was recited first as believed by 'Vidwamsas' of erudition.1

<u>Vishleshana on Devi Ganga -Post Bhagiratha:</u> a) <u>Devi Bhagavata Purana</u> details as follows: Chain reaction of Ganga -King Mahabhisha-Ashta Vasus- King Shantanu- Gangeya Bhishma: There was a virtuous King Mahabhisha of Ikshvaku Dynasty who pleased Indra with a series of 'Asvametha' and 'Vajapeya' Sacrifices and attained Indra Loka after his death. Once he had attended the Court of Lord Brahma and along with him was seated Devi Ganga. He was immensely attracted to her and she too reciprocated with her amorous glances. Brahma got disturbed and cursed both of them to take to human lives as husband and wife. Mahabhisha opted to be the son of King Pratipa of Puru Dynasty. At the same time Ashta-Vasus (Eight Vasus) of the Celestial Region headed by Vasu Prithi and their families visited Sage Vasishtha's 'Ashram' and admired 'Kama Dhenu' the Sacred Cow whose milk bestowed disease-

less longevity and sublime happiness. The wife of one of the Vasus, Dyau was impressed with the Cow and quietly stole it and its calf. Sage Vasishtha found in his 'Diya Drishti' (Celestial Vision) that Nandini the Sacred Cow was in the custody of Vasu Dyau and cursed all the Vasus to be turned as human beings. Being highly repentant, the Vasus beseeched Vasishtha to dilute the effect of the curse and out of compassion the Sage agreed to one year's human life to seven Vasus as their involvement was indirect but Vasu Dyau should have a full life time. The Vasus, who knew about Brahma's curse to Ganga Devi, approached her to give birth to Seven Vasus of one year's human life each and one life time's existence to the last born Vasu. But this was agreed to subject to the condition that her prospective husband should agree to freedom of her action without any reservation and if he did not, she would guit as the husband. Eventually, Ganga waited on the banks of River Ganges and awaited the arrival of King Pradipa of Kuru Dynasty for meditation. The King arrived to perform 'Surva Namaskaras' on the river bed and Ganga appeared as a charming woman and sat straightaway on his right lap, indicating thereby that the place was to seat a son / daughter. The damsel identified herself as Ganga Devi and replied that she would await his son's arrival who was yet to be born. In course of time, King Pradipa got his son, Shantanu, and as he grew as a handsome youth advised him to meet Ganga Devi who would propose but cautioned that he should not ask her questions and agree to whatever she asked. Accordingly, Ganga Devi, the eternal beauty, agreed to wed Shantanu and agreed to her conditions unilaterally. She gave immense happiness to Shantanu, who became the King after his father's abdication of the throne. After a year, they were blessed with a boy, but she took the baby and submerged him in the flow of Ganga! To his great surprise, Shantanu witnessed the horror of the child's cruel drowning in the flow but dared not say one word to his wife. This happening was repeated again and again for seven times and as the eight child was born, Shantanu protested and Ganga as per their contract left, but requested that the boy be named as Gangeya. ii) Brahma Vaivarta Purana explains about 'Mutual curses of Lakshmi, Saraswati and Ganga ': Originally Lakshmi, Saraswati and Ganga were the wives of Shri Hari in Vaikuntha. Saraswati felt that Shri Hari was getting fonder of Ganga and complained to Lakshmi but Lakshmi was neutral. Saraswati was irritated and cursed Lakshmi to become a tree as she was insenstive. Ganga felt bad that Saraswati was unnecessarily interfering and cursed Saraswati; this led Saraswati to curse Ganga. Reacting to these curses, Shri Hari gave dispensations as follows: Lakshmi would be born as a tree in the house of King Dharmadhwaja and become the wife of Asura Shankhachuda, a Vishnu devotee and later on turn out to be Shri Hari's dear wife and live for ever as Tulasi and also as a River named Padmavati in BharataVarsha: Devi Ganga due to Saraswati's curse would become a Holy River to demolish the sins of those who take baths on her waters and eventually flow down in Bharata Varsha due to the persistent efforts of Bhagirath and be called as Bhagirathi and be the wife of Samudra who was also of Shri Hari's 'Amsha' and at the same time be at the 'Shiva Sthaan'; and Saraswati as a result of Ganga's curse would become the wife of Brahma; and finally Lakshmi who was of Satwa Tatwa without any anger or jealousy and would be Shri Hari's own wife eventually. As Shri Hari gave the dispensations as follows, all the three Devis viz. Lakshmi, Saraswati and Ganga embraced each other and felt ashamed of their indiscretions which resulted in the repercussions and prayed to Bhagavan Shrihari as to when the arrangements would terminate and the latter pacified the Devis that he would not only ratify the curses that they made to each other but also retain their positions in Vaikuntha with equal attentions and affections to all the three Devis. Saraswati would keep half 'Amsha' in Bharata Varsha and half with Brahma and the total Amsha with himself (Shri Hari); similarly in respect of Ganga, half of Vishnu's Amsha would be Bhagirathi in Bharata Varsha sanctifying the Beings and by slashing their sins there and the rest of Amsha remaining intact with himself as also have the unique privilege of remaining on Shankara's holy head; as regards Lakshmi, one Amsha would be Tulasi as also as River Padmavati for Kali Yuga's five thousand years and all the Devis would return to Vaikuntha thereafter. The occurrence of the curses among the Devis and the arrangements that were made about them by Shri Hari had some hidden meaning: even while there were several Tirthas in Bharat Varsha, there was a great need for some outstanding Rivers and Punya Kshetras where not only devotees of Shri Hari, but even hopeless sinners and 'Nastiks' (athiests) should have possibilities for self-improvement. That was the reason for the emergence of these Sacred and sinwashing Rivers for quick-if not instant- relief to them. Bhagavan Vishnu indicated that there were several

persons, who thrived on cheating, making false promises, social parasites, promise breakers, 'Vishwaas ghaatis', givers of wrong and misleading evidences, occupiers of others' properties and belongings; those who discard parents and blood-relatives; swindle or forcibly bamboozle others etc. The purpose of the Sacred Tirthas like Ganga, Padma and Saraswati was thus to exonerate and correct such misled persons to reform them.

Sarga Forty Four

Sa gatvā sāgaram rājā gangayānugatas tadā, praviveša talam bhūmer yatra te bhasmasātkṛtāh/ bhasmany athāplute rāma gaṅgāyāh salilena vai, sarva lokaprabhur brahmā rājānam idam abravīt/ tāritā naraśārdūla divam yātāś ca devavat, şaṣṭiḥ putrasahasrāṇi sagarasya mahātmanah/ sāgarasya jalam loke vāvat sthāsvati pārthiva, sagarasvātmajās tāvat svarge sthāsvanti devavat/ ivam ca duhitā įvesthā tava gangā bhavisvati, tvatkrtena ca nāmnā vai loke sthāsvati viśrutā/ gangā tripathagā nāma divyā bhāgīrathīti ca, tripatho bhāvayantīti tatas tripathagā smṛtā/ pitāmahānām sarveṣām tvam atra manujādhipa, kuruṣva salilam rājan pratijñām apavarjaya/ pūrvakeṇa hi te rājams tenātiyaśasā tadā, dharminām pravarenātha naisa prāpto manorathah/ tathaivāmsumatā tāta loke 'pratimatejasā, gangām prārthayatā netum pratijā nāpavarjitā/ rājarsinā gunavatā maharsisamatejasā, mattulyatapasā caiva kṣatradharmasthitena ca/ dilīpena mahābhāga tava pitrātitejasā, punar na śaṅkitā netum gaṅgām prārthayatānagha/ sā tvayā samatikrāntā pratijñā puruṣarṣabha, prāpto 'si paramam loke yaśaḥ paramasammatam/ yac ca gangāvataraṇam tvayā kṛtam arimdama, anena ca bhavān prāpto dharmasyāyatanam mahat/ plāvayasva tvam ātmānam narottama sadocite, salile purusavyāghra śucih punyaphalo bhava/ pitāmahānām sarvesām kurusva salilakriyām, svasti te 'stu gamisyāmi svam lokam gamyatām nṛpa/ ity evam uktvā deveśah sarvalokapitāmahah, yathāgatam tathāgacchad devalokam mahāyaśāh/ bhagīratho 'pi rājarsih krtvā salilam uttamam, yathākramam yathānyāyam sāgarānām mahāyaśāḥ, kṛtodakaḥ śucī rājā svapuram praviveśa ha/ samṛddhārtho naraśreṣṭha svarājyam praśaśāsa ha, pramumoda ca lokas tam nrpam āsādva rāghava, nastaśokah samrddhārtho babhūva vigatajvarah/ eşa te rāma gangāyā vistaro 'bhihito mayā, svasti prāpnuhi bhadram te samdhyākālo 'tivartate/ dhanyam yaśasyam āyuṣyam svargyam putryam athāpi ca, idam ākhyānam ākhyātam gaṅgāvataranaṁ mayā/

Marshi Vishvamitra thus informed about Bhagiratha's exemplary grit and devotion in the context of 'Gangaavatarana' on Earth, till the Ocean and down to Rasatala and washed off the ashes of Sagara Putras. Then Brahma Deva appeared and confirmed to Bhagiratha that the Souls of the Sagara Putras got sanctified and reached Swarga Loka and said sāgarasya jalam loke yāvat sthāsyati pārthiva, sagarasyātmajās tāvat svarge sthāsyanti devavat/ iyam ca duhitā jyesthā tava gangā bhavişyati, tvatkṛtena ca nāmnā vai loke sthāsyati viśrutā/ gaṅgā tripathagā nāma divyā bhāgīrathīti ca, tripatho bhāvayantīti tatas tripathagā smrtā/ Bhupaala! As long as the sacred waters of 'Saagara' provide solace to the Beings in Srishthi, the Sagara Kumaras would find Swarga as their abode. Devi Ganga would eventually be named as your elder daughter and hereonward would be popular in lokas as Bhaagirathi. She would also be known in the Universe as Tripathaga as being the flows of Aakasha- Bhumi- Patalaas. Now you may formally perform 'tarpanas' to the forefathers. What your dear father Dilip who too endeavoured most sincerely had been since accomplished by you and as such had secured the right of place for you post life. Dhanyam yaśasyam āyuşyam svargyam putryam athāpi ca, idam ākhyānam ākhyātam gangāvataranam mayā/ Thus auspicious episode of' Gangavatarana' is highly worthy of hearing or reading and introspect about should be blessed with dhana- aayush-yashas-putra and swarga prapti, as applicable to all the chatur varnas besides longevity and fame..

Sarga Forty Five

Viśvāmitravacah śrutvā rāghavah sahalaksmanah, vismayam paramam gatvā viśvāmitram athābravīt/ atyadbhutam idam brahman kathitam paramam tvayā, gangāvataranam punyam sāgarasya ca pūranam/ tasya sā śarvarī sarvā saha saumitriņā tadā, jagāma cintayānasya viśvāmitrakathām śubhām/ tatah prabhāte vimale viśvāmitram mahāmunim, uvāca rāghavo vākyam kṛtāhnikam arimdamaḥ/ gatā bhagavatī rātriḥ śrotavyam paramam śrutam, kṣaṇabhūteva sā rātriḥ samvṛtteyam mahātapah, imām cintayatah sarvām nikhilena kathām tava/ tarāma saritām śreṣṭhām puṇyām tripathagām nadīm, naur eṣā hi sukhāstīrṇā ṛṣīṇām puṇyakarmaṇām, bhagavantam iha prāptam jñātvā tvaritam āgatā/ tasya tad vacanam śrutyā rāghayasya mahātmanah, samtāram kārayām āsa sarsisamghah sarāghayah/ uttaram tīram āsādya sampūjyarsiganam tatha, gangākūle nivistās te višālām dadršuh purīm/ tato munivaras tūrnam jagāma saharāghavah, viśālām nagarīm ramyām divyām svargopamām tadā/ atha rāmo mahāprājño viśvāmitram mahāmunim, papraccha prāñjalir bhūtvā viśālām uttamām purīm/ kataro rājavamso 'yam visālāyām mahāmune, srotum icchāmi bhadram te param kautūhalam hi me/ tasya tad vacanam śrutvā rāmasya munipumgavah, ākhyātum tat samārebhe viśālasya purātanam/ śrūyatām rāma śakrasya kathām kathayataḥ śubhām, asmin deśe hi yad vṛttam śṛṇu tattvena rāghava/ pūrvam kṛtayuge rāma diteh putrā mahābalāh, adites ca mahābhāgā vīrvavantah sudhārmikāh/ tatas tesām narasrestha buddhir āsīn mahātmanām, amarā nirjarās caiva katham syāma nirāmayāh/ teṣām cintayatām rāma buddhir āsīd vipaścitām, kṣīrodamathanam kṛtvā rasam prāpsyāma tatra vai/ tato niścitya mathanam yoktram kṛtvā ca vāsukim, manthānam mandaram kṛtvā mamanthur amitaujasah/ atha dhanvantarir nāma apsarāś ca suvarcasah, apsu nirmathanād eva rasāt tasmād varastriyah, utpetur manujaśrestha tasmād apsaraso 'bhavan/ sastih kotyo 'bhavams tāsām apsarāṇām suvarcasām, asamkhyeyās tu kākutstha yās tāsām paricārikāh/ na tāh sma pratigrhņanti sarve te devadānavāh, apratigrahaņāc caiva tena sādhāraṇāḥ smṛtāḥ/ varuṇasya tataḥ kanyā vāruṇī raghunandana,utpapāta mahābhāgā mārgamāṇā parigraham/ diteh putrā na tām rāma jagrhur varunātmajām, adites tu sutā vīra jagrhus tām aninditām/ asurās tena daiteyāh surās tenāditeh sutāh, hṛstāh pramuditās cāsan vārunī grahanāt surāh/ uccaihsravā hayaśrestho maniratnam ca kaustubham, udatisthan naraśrestha tathaivāmṛtam uttamam/ atha tasya kṛte rāma mahān āsīt kulakṣayaḥ, adites tu tataḥ putrā diteḥ putrāṇa sūdayan/ aditer ātmajā vīrā diteḥ putrān nijaghnire, tasmin ghore mahāyuddhe daiteyādityayor bhṛśam/ nihatya ditiputrāms tu rājyam prāpya puramdarah, śaśāsa mudito lokān sarsisamghān sacāranān Shri Rama having heard the total episode of Sagara- Bhagiratha-Ganga stated that as the nightful sleep was over and the morning duties were concluded too requested Maharshi Vishvamitra to cross the Tripatha gamini Ganga. As the boat was arranged and the sacred river was crossed, Rama Lakshmanas witnessed a picturesque citi and the Maharshi conveyed its name as Vishali.and described its

background. In the preceeding Satya Yuga, Devi Diti's progeny were the mighty Daityas who were ruthless resorting to viciousness while Devi Aditi's progeny were Devatas of virtue.

Vishleshana on Kashyapa Maharshi and Diti and Aditi: Brahmanda Purana describes: The progeny of Kashyapa Maharshi thus represented the high-points of Virtue and Evil as though the Worlds were on balance. Kashyapa's wives truly characterised the facets of the Positive and Negative Forces as reflected in their offspring and their descendants: Aditirdharmashila tu Balasheelaa Ditistathaa, Tapahsheelaa tu Surabhirmaayaasheela Danustathaa/ Gandha –sheelaa Munischaiya Krodhaadhyayana shaalini/ Geetasheelahyarishtaa tu Krura sheelaa Khashaa smrutaa, Krodhasheelaa tathaa Kadruh Krodhaacha Shuchi shaalini/ Vaahasheelaa tu Vinataa Taamraa vai ghatashalini, Iraanagraha sheela tu hyanaayur – bhakshaney rataa/ Matrustulyaabhijaatascha Kashyapaatmajaa Prabho!(Devi Aditi is a natural epitome of Virtue; Diti is a sign of Might and Valour; Surabhi is a Tapaswini and the mother of cows and buffalos; Danu is a Mayavati and the mother of Daanavas; Muni is a Gandha Shila; Krodha is Adhyana Sheela; Arishta is a Geeta sheela or has an aptitude for music; Khasa is a symbol of cruelty and wickedness; Kadru is the representation of anger and revenge; Krodha is a natural icon of Purity; Vinata is prone to Vahanas and thus the mother of the illustrious Garuda Deva the Vehicle of Vishnu Bhagavan and Aruna Deva the Charioteer of Surya Deva; Tamra Devi is a byword of Evil and immorality and the mother of Raakshasas; Ira is the emblem of kindness and morality; and Anayu stands for pleasure and enjoyment. These are the natural characteristics of the wives of Kashyapa Muni as truly reflected in their

offspring too. Indeed, Kashyapa Vamsha stood for Dharma, Kshama, Buddhi, Satpravartana and Competence on one side and Adharma, Jealousy, Ignorance, Misbehavior, Viciousness, Cruelty, and utter depravity on the other! It produced Devas, Danavas, Rakshsaas, Yakshas, Piscachaas, Gandharvas, Apsaras, Sarpas, Pashu-Mriga-Pakshi-Vriksa-Lataas. All these features are amply manifested among Manavas and are deeply immersed in the whirlpool of Samsara- at times displaying virtue and at other times demonstrating viciousness as they are always targetted with the grand mix of the Satvika-Raajasica and Tamasika Gunas; they are ostensibly motivated by the Chaturvidha Purusharthaas of Dharma-Artha-Kaama-Moksha!

Maharshi Vishvamitra then explained to Shri Rama that both Daityas and Devatas had both sought 'Amaratva' of Longevity for ever. But the question got raised as to who should become eligible for the 'amaratva'. Then both Daityas and Devatas decided to execute 'Ksheera Sagara Mathana' or the churning of the Ocean of Milk. (Of the Sapta Samudras Lavana or Salt, Ikshurasa or Sugarcane juice, Sura or Wine, Ghrita or Classified Butter, Dahi or Curd, Ksheera or Milk and Suswada or Sweet Water, Ksheera Sagara on which Maha Vishnu himself is stated to flout as resting on Adi Shesha was decidedly the best). Thus having resolved both Devas and Daityas along with their respective characteristics of Dharma and Adharma, (Aditi, Diti, Danu, Arishta, Surasa, Khasa, Surabhi, Vinata, Tamra, Krodhavasha, Ila, Kadru and Muni.; Diti's sons were the daityas, danavas and Rakshasaas). Having decided thus they mutually approached Vaasuki Sarpa to be the massive belt of Mandharaachala for the gigantic task. [Vasuki: Underneath Bhumi are the Nether Worlds viz. Atala, Vitala, Sutala, Talaatala, Rasatala, Mahatala and Patala. The soil in Atala is stated to be of black soil, of Vitala the ground was of palewhite, Sutala of blue, Talatala of yellow colour, Rasatala of gravel covered ground, Mahatala of Rocky Ground and of Patala of Gold. The Palaces of Asuras of Namuchi the enemy of Mahendra, besides of other demons like Mahananda, Kabandha, Bhima, Suladanta, Dhanjaya, Nagendra were all glittering exampes of opulence and material happiness in Atala and other Lokas. In Sutala were the noted Daitya-Rakshasa-Serpent Kings like Mahajambha, Karbandha, Hayagriva, Nikumbha, Bhima, Suladanta, Dhananjaya, Nagendra, Kalia and so on. Shankha, Gomukha, Kakutpada, Asvatara, Kambala, Takshaka stayed at Vitala; Prahlada, Taraka, Puranjana etc were in Rasatala; Kalanemi, Gajakarna were in Mahatala; and among other illustrious serpents Maha Sesha and Vaasuki were stated to be in Patala. It was Vaasuki who was tied all around the Mandhara mountain as the churner and Kurma Vishnu as the balancer at the time of Amtita Mathana! As both the parties of Devas on one side of Vasuki holding the serpent's tail with dharmic awareness and Daityas with 'ahamkara' or self ego holding the head of Vasuki got positioned for the churning. In the process, multitudes of Daityas perished as being burnt off by the poisonous flames emitted from the mouth of the Vasuki Snake. As the churning of the Ocean thus having progressed, there appeared on the high skies a massive poisonous fire ball called 'halaahala' and threatened to have brought earth into ash. Atha Devaa Mahadevam Shankaram sharanaarthiah, jagmuh Pashupati Rudram traahi traaheeti tushtuvuh/ As all the Devas collected at the tail side of Vaasuki made a desperate appeal to Pashupati Rudra, the latter responded to the prayers even as Maha Vishnu too appeared but appealed to Maha Shiva stating that as the ultimate of the univeres the latter should kindly gulp up the 'halahalaagni' in upright standing posture. Then Halaahalam visham ghoram sanjagnaahaamritopamam/ Maha Deva being Mrityunjaya retained the most poisonous 'halaahalaagni' in his throat- lest the lokas in his stomach be not get dislocated with the poisonous flames. Maharshi Vishvamitra then addressed Raghunandana and further explained that the mammot task of Ksheera Sagara Mathana continued. But then followed another havoc as Mandhara Mountain slipped down into Pataala under the Ocean of Milk. Devatas and Gandharvas as were participating in the task of churning made a frantic appeal to Maha Vishnu to save and pull the mountain falling down so that they might not all be crushed under the weight of the mountain. Iti shrutvaa Hrisheekeshah kaamatham rupamaasthitah,parvatam prushthatah kritvaa shishaye trayodadhou Harih/In response to the frantic appeals my Devas placed at the side of the tilt of the gigantic mountain, Maha Vishnu had spontaneously assumed the incarnation of Kurma the massive tortoise so that the mountain could be balanced thereon of its topped up hardness. Some thousand years of churning thereafter, then appeared Dhanvantari the personification of Ayurveda with a 'danda' or

handstick on one hand and a Kamandalu or vessel of pure water (stated to be of Vishnu himself depicted with four hands, with one of them carrying Amrita, and the other holding shanka- chakra-and a leech!) as well as a group of Apsaras of outstanding physical beauty and charm. [Apsaras: The celestial dancers of feminine beauty and grace 'par excellence', skilled in dance and music, such as the ageless Rambha, Menaka, Menaka, Urvashi, Tilottama, Ghritaachi, Mishkarekshi, Vapu, Viprachitti, Purvachitti, Sahajanya, Karnika, Punjikasthala, Vishvachi and so on. Tilottama and Urvashi are believed among those Apsaras to have generated from the 'amrita mathana'. Apsaras are stated to be closely associated with celestial singers and musicians. At the time of Amrita Mathana, Indra Deva was believed to haved opted to enhance the elegance of his court. Apsaras enjoy the reputation or otherwise to have dislocated the tapsya of renouned Maharshis as Brahmarshi Vishvmitra him self was a case in point!] These Apsaras are stated to be of sixty crore strong, nay countless! But none of the Apsaras could ever be the formal wives of maharshis, deva daanayas or of terrestial or celestial beings, except for casual sex. Then further 'samudra mathana' resulted in the creation of Vaarunis who were ever intoxicated by wines and hard liquor always in search of husbands but only the celestials but not of vicious daityas. In fact the term of 'Sura' was always used in the context of Devas and the rest of Celestials, and 'Asuras' were those denied of drinking wine and other intoxicants! That was the reason of Vaaruni Devataas getting readily attracted to Devas! As the churning progressed, Ucchaishtava the best of horses, and Koustubha the best of priceless diamonds emerged. As the ever full pot of Amrita became visible in the hands of Dhanvantari, there was a stampede and fierce battle opened as that indeed was the ulitimate and ambitious target of Samudra Mathana! Innumerable Deva Danavas perished in the open and all out war, Lord Vishnu took to the mesmerising form of Mohini Devi and the huge battle of Deve-Asuras ceased suddenly. She then brought in a truce and made them seated in groups on either side - ostensibly, with a view to orderly distributing the 'ambrosia' for which the all out endeavour for thousands of years got climaxed to a reality! While distributing amrita, Vishnu in the form of Mohini Devi distributed amrit to Devas totally, and from the side of Danava Daityas as the distribution was about to be ended by Devi Mohini, two of the daityas viz. Rahu and Ketu stealthily shifted over the group of Devas. The omniscient Vishnu as Mohini patronized Rahu and Ketu did recieve drops of the elixir and joined the group of Nava grahas, for subtle reasons. Ther after Indra retained the seat of kingship of Svarga as Rishis and other Devatas were pleased

[References fromMatsya Purana and Maha Bhagavata on Samudra Mathana:

Masya Purana: on Kurmaavatara, 'Amrita Mathan', Kaalakuta and Devi Mohini:

As Danava Guru Shukracharya secured Sanjeevani Vidya from Maha Deva after thousands of penance and meditation to enable Danavas and Daityas the restore their lives, especially after their killings in battles with Devas, there were series of victories of Danavas and all the like minded evil forces, while Injustice and Vice prevailed in suppression of Virtue, Justice and Peace. In response to a delegation of Devas led by Indra and Deva Guru, Brahma appealed against passion for battles and enemities. He also called King Bali the Head of Daityas and Danavas and to refrain from frequent guarrels with Devas and suggested a Master Plan for the mutual benefit of Devas, Gandharvas and like minded allies on the one hand and Daityas, Danavas, Rakshaas, Nagas and Yakshas on the other. The Plan proposed by Brahma was follows: Both Daityas and Devas should jointly organise the Project of 'Kshira Sagara Mathana'; approach Vishnu under the leadership of King Bali to revive the Form of 'Kurma' (Tortoise) present in Palala loka; request Mandarachala or the Mountain of Mandara to be the churning rod; pray to 'Sehsha Nag'or the Giant Serpent who bears the weight of the entire Universe to be the long and strong rope to be used for the churning. As planned the joint delegation prayed to Bhagavan Kurma liyng in Patala loka first and the latter agreed readily saying: Thrailokya dhaarineynaapi na glanir-mama jaayatey, Kimu Mandarakaat Kshudraat gutikaa samnibhaadiha/ (I have no problem in holding the MandharaMountain for this noble cause as this so like a pebble for me!) Later on when the delegation approached Sesha Nag, he replied: Brahmanda veshtinaanaapi Brhahmaanda mathanenavaa, Na mey glanirbhaved dehey kimu Mandara vartaney! (If I could bear the brunt of the Universe what is the problem in holding it while

churning and rotating it!). At that time, Kurma Deva was right underneath the Mountain, but neither Daityas nor Devas could rotate the mountain much less churn it. The delegation reached Vaikuntha and prayed to Vishnu under the Leadership of Bali, when Vishnu was in Yoga Nidra lying on Sesha Nag on Ksheera Samudra, as follows: Namo loka trayadhaksha tejasaa jita bhaskara, Namo Vishno Namo Jishno Namastey Kaitabhardana/ Namah sargakriyaakartrey Jagatpaalayatey Namah, Rudrarupaaya Sharvaaya Namah Samharakaariney/ Namah Shulaayudhadhrushya Namo Daanava-ghaatiney, Namah Trayaakranta Trailokyaayaabhavaaya cha/ Namah Prachanda Daitreyndrakulakaala mahaanala, Namo naabhihrudodbhuta padmagarbha Mahabala/ Padmabhuta Mahabhuta karthrey hatrey Jagatpriya, Janitaa Sarvalokesha kriyaa kaarana kaariney/ Amaraari vinaashaaya Mahaasamara shaaliney, Lakshmi mukhaabja madhupa namah keerti nivaasiney/ Asmaakamamaratwaaya ghritayaam ghriyataa mayam, Mandarah Sarvashailaanaamayutaatayaayuta vistrutah/ Anantabala baahu bhyamavasht abhaika paaninaa, Madhyataamamrtutam Deva Swadhaa Swaadhaartha kaaminam/ (Bhagavan Vishnu, Jishnu, Trilokaadhyaksha! our sincere greetings to you; You are the famed demolisher of Kaitabha; The Creator, the Presever and also the Destroyer of the whole world with Trishula in your hands; You expanded and occupied in merely three steps of yours all the Three Lokas; You are like the Agni who put the total 'Vamsha' or the race of the frightful of Daitya Clan into flames and ash; You materialised Brahma from the lotus of your navel; You are the Jagatkarta, Harta and Priya; the Karya, Karana and Karta or the Deed, the Doing and the Doer; Our endeavours are due to create 'Amrit' for 'Amaratwa' or everlasting life; kindly enable with your mighty arms the 'Manthana' or churning of the Madarachala in the Ksheera Sagara!) As Bhagavan agreed to do so and initiated the circling of Sesha Nag around the Mountain, the Daityas and Danavas out of bravado held the head of Sesha Nag's thousand mouths that emitted poisonous flames and many of them perished even before the process of churning; Devas on the other hand held the tail and manouvered it. As both the churning got momentum, both the Parties were extremely tried and Indra materialised cool showers to reduce the tiresomeness. Lord Brahma alerted and encouraged with cheerings and heartening remarks periodcally to both the facedrawers and tail-enders of the Sesha Nag. As the churning of the ten thousand yojana wide Mountain continued, from its top fell down several groups of elephants, eight-footed Sharabha animals, wild lions, tigers, boars and bears, crores of fearful poisonous reptiles, besides heavy and tall trees, branches, fruits, leaves, medicinal herbs and plants into the Ocean. The resultant pulp of the 'Manthan' of the materials dropped from the Mountain produced 'Varuni' and its envigorating smell pleased Devas and Danavas and became refreshed and mightier; the speed of churning pepped up and Bhagavan Vishnu held the sides of the Mountain by his shoulders-grip and the radiance of the jewels on the thousand hoods was reflected on the blue dazzle of Vishnu's shoulders and hands looking like a 'Brahma danda' even as thousands of roars and lightnings emerged from the defeaning sounds of clouds above and sky-rise sea tides below. From the tail side of the Sesha Nag, Indra, Aditya, Rudragana, Vasugana, and other Devas were getting more and more active while the Rakshasa ganas including the powerful Viprachit, Namuchi, Vritra, Shambar, Dwimurtha, Vajradamshtra and Rahu, all headed by King Bali were displaying their respective energies with arrogance and self-pride. In the process countless animals, fishes, reptiles and othe varieties of Seas and the under-Sea Beings were destroyed in millions. Unfortunately however there was no indication of the much awaited 'Amrit' and all the Parties concerned were fully exhausted and disappointed. They all in one voice of unanimity prayed to Bhagavan Vishnu once again and the Lord assured them: Balam dadaami sarveshaam karmaitad ye samaasthitaah, Kshubhyataam kramashahSarvair Mandarah parivartataam/ (To all the persons involved in this Manthana Venture, I am according 'Shakti'herewith and all concerned should perform their maximum from now on). As the action had improved mani-fold now, there was Purna Chandra, who emerged with the illumination of hundred Survas yet with extraordinary coolness that would readily bring about breezy freshness to the whole world. Then Devi Lakshmi was materialised with considerable grace and gorgeousness who desired to opt for Bhagavan Vishnu; she was followed by Sura Devi and Ucchaishwa and these were granted by Asuras to Indra as they were rather keen only for Amrita. Then followed the emergence of Koustubh Mani and that was gifted away to Vishnu to adorn the ornament on his broad chest. Further on, there was a Parijata Vriksha, which had bunches of flowers whose intoxicating fragrance filled up all over the gardens of

Swarga. Eventually, there occurred dense and blue smoke which appeared all over the Ocean and reached the sky as well, when all the participants of the Churning were unable to increasingly bear it and had to temporarily call off the action as there were poisonous flames and fumes surrounding them, choking them all and killing several of them. Meanwhile, a highly frightful figure making terrible noises descended from the pitch dark clouds; as Daityas and Devas were frrightened to the core and Bhagavan Vishnu interrogated that horrendous figure as to who that it was! The reply came to Vishnu that it was KAALAKUTA VISHA and that could devour the whole Universe instantly, that it emerged pursuant to the huge scale churning of Ksheera Samudra and that all the participants should at once take the refuge of Maha Deva. The panicky Deva-Danavas as well as Brahma and Vishnu made a bee-line to a GoldenCave on the top of Mandara Mountain which too was a Principal participant of the Manthana Drama. At the Entry Gate of 'Shiva Nivasa', Ganeswara took Maha Deva's permission to let the agitated Devotees in as they all in a chorus commended Shiva (Shiva Stuti) as follows: Namah Virupaksha Namestey Divyachakshusey/ Namah Pinaaka hastaaya Vajrahastaaya dhanviney/ Namah trishula hastaaya Dandahastaaya Dhurjatey, Namastrailokya naathaaya Bhutagraama shareeriney/ Namah Suraari hantrey cha Somaagnya kaaryagnya chakshushey, Brahmaney chaiya Rudraaya Namastey Vishnu – rupeney/Brahmaney Vedarupaaya Namastey Deva rupiney, Saamkhya yogaaya Bhutaanaam Namastey Shaambhavaaya tey/ Manmathaayaanga vinaashaaya Namah Kaalakshayankara, Ramhasey Deva Devaaya Namastey Vasuretasey/ Eka Viryaya Sarvaaya Namah Pinga kapardiney, Uma bhartrey Namastubhyam Yagna Tripura ghaatiney/ Shuddha bodha prabuddhaaya Muktakaivalya rupiney, Lokatraya vidhhatrecha Varunendraagni rupiney/Rugyasussama rupaaya Purushaayeswaraaya cha, Agraaya chaiya chograaya Vipraay Shurti chakshusey/Rajasey chaiya Satyaaya Tamasey Timiraamaney, Anintya nityabhaavaaya namo nityacharaatmaney/ Vyaktaaya chai vyaktaaya Vyaktaavyaktaanaya vai namah, Bhaktaanaamaarti naashaaya Priyanaraayanaayacha/ Umaapriyaaya Sharvaaya Nandivaktraaschitaaya cha, Rutu manvata kalpaaya Paksha maasa dinaatmaney/ Nanaarupaaya Mundaaya Varuutha Pruthu dandiney, Namah Kapaalahastaaya Digyaasaaya Shikhandiney/ Dhaniney rathiney chaiya yatayey Brahmachaariney, Ityevamaadi charitaih stutantu tubhyam namo namah/ (Virupaaksha! Divya netradhaariney! Our obeisances to you; you carry Pinaka, Vajra and Dhanush; our reverences to you! Jataadhaari! you hold Trishula and Danda in your hands, our sincere respects to you; You are the Trilokanatha and the Swarupa of all 'Pranis' / Beings; our greetings to you the annihilator of 'Deva Shatrus'; the Possessor of 'Chandraagni Surya Rupas' as also of Brahma, Vishnu and Rudra Rupas'; You are the Swarupas of Brahma, Veda an Rudra Rupas; You are also the Sankhya Swarupa and the unique provider of Propitiousness to all the Beings; You are the destroyer of Kamadeva's physique of love and the terrminator of Kaala Deva; You are the Vegashali, Devadhi Deva and Vasureta; Sarva Shreshtha, Vira, Sarva Swarupa and wearer of the yellow coloured 'Jataas'/ twisted hair; Umanatha, Tripura Vinaashaa! The Epitome of Pure Form of 'Jnaana'/ knowledge; Triloka Vidhata; The Swarupa of Varuna, Indra, Agni; the Rupa of Ruk, Yajur and Sama; Purushottama, Parameswara, Sarva Sreshtha, Bhayankara, Brahmana Swarupa; the Possessor of Satwa, Rajasa and Tamasa Gunas; Andhakaara Rupa, Achintya, Nitya, Nityacharaatma; Perceivable and Unperceivable; the demolisher of the difficulties of Devotees; the Great Friend of Narayana, the beloved of Devi Uma; The Great Terminator; The shine of Nandeswara's countenance; the Unique Measures of Time like Manvantaras, Kalpas, Ritus, Months, Fortnights, Weeks and Days; the Activiser of Myriad Rupas / Forms; of the Shaven Head; Digambara/ Sanyasi/ Brahmachaari, Maha Shankara! Our prostrations to you; Maha Deva! You are the only Supreme Energy which could gulp the 'Kalakuta Visha'; if uncontrolled; it could devour the Universe as a whole!). As the Deva-Daanava's joint delegation prostrated before Bhagavan-which incidentally was a historical event of unique significance, Shankara agreed: Bhakshayishyaamyaham ghoram kalakutam Maha visham, Tathaanyadapi yatkruthyam kruchhasaadhyam Surasuraah, Tacchaapi saadhayishyaami tishthadhwam vigatajjwaraah/ (Deva Suraagana! I am no doubt consuming this terrible poison anyway; if you entrust me any other worse and more difficult deeds to be performed, they too would be executed; never worry!) By so saying, Bhagavan took the 'Halaahala Visha' into his left hand and consumed and retained it in his throat as Devas headed by Brahma as also Asuras led by King Bali hailed Parameshwara exclaimed: Shobhatey Deva Kathastey gaatrey kundaniprabho, Bhrungaamaalaanibham Kanthepyathraiyaastu

visham tawa/ (Devadeva! As your Physique is white, slender and fragrant like a jasmine flower while the blue tinge of your throat has a remarkably distinct-look with the spot on your throat; please do retain it as it is!) All the concerned parties involved in the 'Operation Amrit' returned back to their respective positions once again anxiously awaiting the materialisation of Amrit. In the final exercise of Churning the 'Ksheera Sagara', Bhagavan *Dhanvantari*, the Deity of 'Ayurveda' surfaced along with the most awaited Pot of Amrit; then followed the Large and Attractive Eyed *Devi Madira* the symbol of Intoxication; Kamadhenu the celestial cow which fulfilled the desires of any Living Being got materialised later on; the Celestial Elephant Iravata which Indra Deva claimed; Surya Deva accepted Dhanvatari as also the Ucchaishvraya horse that came up even earlier; Varuna Deva claimed the Celestial Chhatra (umbrella) and as Indra desired the Kundala Dwaya or the magnifecent Ear-Rings. At this juncture, Dhanvantari declared AMRITA and then commenced an all-out scuffle between Devas and Daityas making claims and counter claims. The fight assumed larger proportions as Bhagavan Vishnu materialised Mohini Devi and the demons became victims of Maya -Illusion-as they were completely enchanted by her and allowed her to distribute the Elixir. In this confusion, Mohini let Devas seize the Eternal Pot and they drank it off one by one; one Asura viz. Rahu however managed to consume the drops of Amrit upto his throat and as Surya and Chandra shouted against Rahu, Vishnu in a swift action cut off the Demon's throat by his Sudarshana Chakra, but the damage was already done and Rahu became immortal, all though all the rest of Asuras were denied of the Divine Drink. This followed fierce battles between Devas and Danayas and there was extensive massacre and blood-bath when innumerable Danavas and Daitvas suffered losses and Devas became victorious under the stewardship of Bhagavan Vishnu. The left-over Danava-Daitya Stalwarts disappeared into the Oceans to retire into Patala Loka. There after, Mandarachala was restored to its original position; so did Sesha Nag and Sudarshana Chakra too. The havoc created in the Oceans too limped back to normalcy. The Dikpalakas, Devas, Gandharvas and all the Celestial Beings got reinstated and were extremely delighted and overjoyed. Tatomrutam sunihitameva chakrirey, Suraah Paraam tudamabhigamya pushklalaam/ Dadduscha tam nidhimamrutasya rakshitam, Kiritiney Balibhirathaamaraih saha/ (Thereafter, the Devaganas were gladdened to safeguard and hand over the 'Amrita Nidhi' /The Remaining Deposit of the Elixir to the custody of Bhagavan Vishnu himself.)]

Maha Bhagavatga Purana: Mammoth Churning of Ocean for 'Amrith' (Nectar)

Proceeding with the narration to King Parikshith, Suka Mahamuni highlighted that it was in the sixth millennium of Chakshusa Manu that Lord Vishnu had incarnated as Ajita who was begotten to Vairaja and Devasambhuti; Ajita in the form of a tortoise was wandering in the Ocean of Milk carrying the Mountain Mandhara on His back and produced 'Amrit'by churning the Ocean. Parikshith became highly inquisitive about the famous story and requested the Muni to give full details. As the enmity and intense hatred between the Demi- Gods and Demons took unprecedented proportions, the Demi-Gods assembled on the top of the SumeruMountain to seek a solution. Lord Brahma instructed the Devas and Demons to resort to a temporary truce, till arrangements could be made to churn the Ocean of Milk to obtain Amrit, the Divine Drink to provide everlasting life. Garuda, the Vehicle of Lord Vishnu lifted the MandharaMountain and placed it into the Ocean as the churning rod. Vasuki the Giant Serpent coiled around the Mountain tightly; the head of the serpent was opted for by the Demons out of pride and the tail was taken by the Demi-Gods as the rope. As the Mountain was not stable and shaky, Ajita in the form of tortoise slid under the Mountain and provided the needed balance. Thus commenced the mammoth churning of the Ocean for 'Amrit'. Many Demons perished from the poisonous flames from the mouth of Vasuki. As the churning progressed, the Ocean was shaken up bringing out innumerable species underneath, black clouds emerged fast across the Sky and there was terrible turmoil alround. Suddenly, the Sky looked like breaking way, emitting unprecedented poisonous flames, 'Halahal', swiftly engulfing the entire Universe. The initial churning was terminated and Demi-Gods headed by Lord Brahma as well as the Demons screamed for help to Lord Siva to save the situation. They all prayed to Him that He was the original life force, the Maha Tatva, the Eternal Truth and the Omni Potent and He only could stop the annihilation of the Universe. In response to the desperate prayers by one and all, Lord Siva swallowed the 'Halahal' and retained it in His Throat to safeguard the Worlds within His other body parts. Thus known

in the Sciptures; as 'Neela Greeva'-the Blue Throated, He protected the entire Universe and saved the act of Creation itself. As the process of churning resumed further, a number of Divine Figures commenced emerging: 'Surabhi' the Cow required for unending milk and products required for Sacred Rituals as oblations to Fire God by Sages; a Divine Horse, Utthaisvarya, as desired by King Bali of the Under World; the Divine Elephant 'Airavata' and eight She Elephants, which were desired by Indra to possess; Koustubha Mani and Padmaraga Mani-the jewels decorating Lord Vishnu's chest; 'Parijata Tree' to decorate the Celestial Gardens; then emerged Apsaras, the Divine dansueses to entertain Demi-Gods and Indra; the Goddess of Fortune, Lakshmi whom the Demi- Gods and Demons craved alike to possess but She Herself opted for Lord Vishnu Who is the ultimate Preserver of the Universe; then appeared the dame, Varuni, with voluptuous eyes who could control drunkards, whom King Bali opted for on behalf of the Demon World. Finally, a strong, stout, blackish and young person, known as Dhanvantari, the Physician of the Universe, whom both Demons and Demi- Gods agreed to share. But, the most awaited jar of Nectar noticed by the Demons was forcibly snatched away, to the disappointment of Demi-Gods. But, Lord Vishnu created a cover of 'Maya' (Illusion) and let the Demons fight among themselves for the sips of the Nectar. In the confusion, there appeared an outstanding beauty with most sonorous voice and dazzling figure, who was Lord Himself in the form of Mohini Murthi. She had mesmerised the Demons who fell in a spell and made them request her to do justice in equitably distributing the Nectar to all by turns. She made formations as per seniority and made them wait for turns. She started with the formations of the Demons, but by means of illusion had actually commenced the distribution among the Demi-Gods. Rahu a Demon somehow got into the camp of Demi- Gods and this was noticed by Sun and Moon, who complained the fact to Mohini Murthi and immediately the Sudarsana Chakra severed Rahu's head, but since he drank the drops of Nectar already, Lord Brahma gave him the status of a Planet; but since then, Rahu became the enemy of Sun and Moon and torment them periodically by way of eclipsing them till date. At this juncture, Lord Vishnu revealed his identity and exhorted the Demons to mend their diabolic actions and take refuge in the Superior Energy instead of becoming slaves of the Eight Materialistic Vices, Viz. Kama (Desire), Krodha (Anger), Moha (Infatuation), Mada (Arrogance), Lobha (Avarice) and Matsara (Jealousy). He advised that in the ultimate analysis, only He would provide salvation which tantamounts to Eternity, which indeed the Nectar that they craved for.]

Sarga Forty Six

Hateshu heşu ditih paramaduhkhitā, mārīcam kāśyapam rāma bhartāram idam abravīt/ hataputrāsmi bhagavams tava putrair mahābalaih, śakrahantāram icchāmi putram dīrghatapo'rjitam/ sāham tapaś carisyāmi garbham me dātum arhasi, īdrśam śakrahantāram tvam anujñātum arhasi/ tasyās tadvacanam śrutvā mārīcah kāśyapas tadā, pratyuvāca mahātejā ditim paramaduḥkhitām/ evam bhavatu bhadram te śucir bhava tapodhane, janayişyasi putram tvam śakra hantāram āhave/ pūrņe varşasahasre tu śucir yadi bhavişyasi, putram trailokya hantāram mattas tvam janayişyasi/ evam uktvā mahātejāh pāṇiṇā sa mamārja tām, samālabhva tatah svastītv uktvā sa tapase vavau/ gate tasmin naraśrestha ditih paramaharsitā, kuśaplavanam āsādva tapas tepe sudārunam/ tapas tasvām hi kurvatvām paricarvām cakāra ha, sahasrākṣo naraśreṣṭha parayā guṇasampadā/ agnim kuśān kāṣṭham apaḥ phalam mūlam tathaiva ca, nyavedayat sahasrākso yac cānyad api kānksitam/ gātrasamvāhanaiś caiva śramāpanaya nais tathā, śakrah sarvesu kālesu ditim paricacāra ha/ atha varsasahasretu daśone raghu nandana, ditih paramasamprītā sahasrāksam athābravīt/ tapaś carantyā varsāni daśa vīryavatām vara, avaśistāni bhadram te bhrātaram drakṣyase tataḥ/ tam aham tvatkṛte putra samādhāsye jayotsukam, trailokyavijayam putra saha bhoksyasi vijvarah/ evam uktvā ditih śakram prāpte madhyam divākare, nidrayāpa -hṛtā devī pādau kṛtvātha śīrṣatah/ dṛṣṭvā tām aśucim śakraḥ pādatah kṛtamūrdhajām, śiraḥsthāne kṛtau pādau jahāsa ca mumoda ca/ tasyāḥ śarīravivaram viveśa ca puramdaraḥ, garbham ca saptadhā rāma bibheda paramātmavān/ bidhyamānas tato garbho vajrena sataparvanā, ruroda susvaram rāma tato ditir abudhyata/ mā rudo mā rudas ceti garbham sakro 'bhyabhāsata, bibheda ca mahātejā rudantam api vāsavaḥ/ na hantavyo na hantavya ity evam ditir abravīt, nispapāta tatah śakro mātur vacanagauravāt/ prāñjalir vajrasahito ditim šakro 'bhvabhāsata, aśucir devi suptāsi pādavoh

kṛtamūrdhajā/ tadantaram ahaṁ labdhvā śakrahantāram āhave, abhindaṁ saptadhā devi tan me tvaṁ kṣantum arhaṣ/i

Devi Diti was remorsed at the non reciept of the share of amrita to Daitya- Danava- Rakshasaas and the eternity of Devatas under the Kingship of Indra, she appoached Kashyapa Maharshi and sought for his advice and a boon to destroy Indra who had since become invincible and with long life. She declared: sāham tapas carisyāmi garbham me dātum arhasi, īdṛṣʿam sʿakrahantāram tvam anujñātum arhasi/ 'I am prepared to perform tapasya for long time, but may I be blessed to beget a son of invincibility and destroy the upstart Indra. Kashyapa having appreciated the agony and exasperation of Diti Devi, Kashyapa blessed Diti and said: pūrne varsasahasre tu śucir yadi bhavisyasi, putram trailokya hantāram mattas tvam janavisyasi/ evam uktvā mahātejāh pāninā sa mamārja tām, samālabhya tatah svastīty uktvā sa tapase yayau/ In case Devi Diti could endure thousand year longed hard 'tapasya, them the trailoka natha Indra could be possibly defeated. Diti then entered Kushapluva forest and initiated severe tapsaya. Indra aided by Devas had sincerely enabled fetching all types of puja dravyas ranging from wood, fire, fruits, floweres, water vessels and so on and firmly established 'rapport' mutually. He used to press Diti's feet and fingers with the typical affection to due to his own mother's elder sister. As her tapasva thus continued for nearly thousand years, on one day of the remainder ten years felt so happy with Indra's consistent service to her and addressed him and stated that she had been extremely delighted for enjoying Indra's personalised and sincere service to her and very soon within the next few years of ten or so, his younger brother would be born to her. She confessed in semi consciousness: tam aham tvatkrte putra samādhāsye jayotsukam, trailokyavijayam putra saha bhokṣyasi vijvaraḥ/ My son Indra! May I now confess that I had been performing this severe tapasya so far only to secure a son of fame who could defeat you for ever; but be assured that your consistent service to me all these years impressed me so much that I would change the newly arriving son's psyche totally and ask him to be your follower instead! Indra then prostrated to Diti in a manner that his long head hairs fell and touched his long hairs at her feet and thus her body turned impure even after her long near thousand years of purified tapasya got contaminated with impurities. tasyāh śarīravivaram viveśa ca puramdarah, garbham ca saptadhā rāma bibheda paramātmavān/ bidhyamānas tato garbho vajreņa śataparvaņā, ruroda susvaram rāma tato ditir abudhyata/ mā rudo mā rudaś ceti garbham śakro 'bhyabhāsata, bibheda ca mahātejā rudantam api vāsavah/ Then even as she was in a state of semi-concsiousness, Indra miniaturised his body with his 'Anima' Shakti of the Ashta Siddhis, entered her garbha and pierced with his vajrayudha as the child started crying as Indra cajoled the child not to cry [Supernatural Powers are Anima or the ability of miniaturising oneself; Mahima is turning one self giant like; Laghima is the capacity to get oneself unusually light; Garima is to make the Self too gross and heavy; Prapti is to achieve any kind of mental desire; Prakamya or providing fulfillment of other's wishes; Vashitwa or capacity to control any other Party; Ishitwa or fully dominating over others as wished. Among many other Siddhis include Para Kaaya Pravesha or totally entering other's body and even Soul; Doora Shravana or distant hearing, Doora Darshana or Distant Vision or ability to see things or actions any where from other places; Manojavam or reaching a place as fast as a thought as also thought reading; Kamarupa or assuming the physical form of another Being-be it a moving species or an immobile like a mountain]. As the child came out crying out from Devi Diti's garbha requesting Indra not to hurt him, he confessed that his intentional dropping his long head hairs touched her feet and thus she got imputified and thus he was enabled to enter her garbha and therefore cut the child into seven pieces!.

Vishleshana on Devi Diti and Indra from Brahmanda Purana and Maha Bhagavata Purana

Brahmanda Purana": Diti revengeful of Indra and 'Pumsavana' Sacrifice: Diti felt that Indra was responsible for several killings of her progeny including Hirayaksha and Hiranuyakasipu and thus her anger for Indra became intense. She thus requested her husband Kasyapa to bless her with a son who could kill Indra. Sage Kasyapa felt extremely sad that his wife was following a wicked route to bear her a son to kill Indra. He somehow desired that such an eventuality should never arise and planned to atleast prolong time for a year and asked Diti to follow very strict regime of personal sacrifice named '

Pumsayana'. During the year, Diti should not think ill of others, nor speak lies, nor hurt any body, nor eat flesh or fish, nor wear robes unwashed by herself, but worship Brahmanas, cows, and women with husbands and sons alive, in short follow a life of a hermit. Any discrepancy or deviation from the prescribed do's and don'ts would not only kill Indra but would become a friend and associate. The nephew Indra knew the intention of Diti, but pretended to help her in the Daily Worships by fetching flowers and fruits to Diti and such other services. At the time of Diti's delivery after a year, Indra who had yoga sidhis, like 'anima' and 'laghima' entered Diti's womb and with the help of his 'Vjara' (the Thunderbolt) cut the embryo into seven pieces and cut each piece to another seven pieces. Each of the fortynine pieces thus born became as many 'Maruts' who became demigods and thus Diti was purified of her envy and animosity of Lord Indra. Punsavana had thus become an important 'Vrata' (a sacred ritualistic practice of worship) by chaste women for one year with the help and active association of their husbands. During the bright half of month of 'Kartika' (falling during November-December), there should be an intense worship by both the husband and wife. On the last day of Moon-rise (Purnamasi or Pournami), the climactic worship (pujas) should take place with friends and relatives participating in the event, under the guidance of Brahmanas, performing twelve oblations to Fire God with 'Ghee' in a ritualistic manner by chanting the Mantra: 'Om Bhagavatey Mahapurushaya Maha Vibhutaya Swaha'. During the entire preceding year too, the couple could -or atleast either of them- observe the prescribed daily worships to Goddess Lakshmi and God Narayana., by chanting the Mantra. Sincere worship on these lines ought to bless the couple and their family good health, prosperity, name alround and happiness. The Vrath can be done my unmarried women to secure good husbands; those who have no husbands/ sons could perform for spiritual solace.

Maha Bhagavata about Marud Ganas:

Since there were such continuous deaths of her family lineage, Diti was terribly upset as all the gallant heros of Daityas were destroyed successively despite the valiant acts of their intrepidity and resoluteness; she entreated Kashyapa Muni to bestow a boon to her that she must give birth to a son who could kill Indra. Kashyapa Muni too felt that the progeny of Aditi were getting too powerful enjoying Swarga while the progeny of Diti were continuously rotting in the Sub-terrain Lokas despite the fact that they were courageous and highly enterprising. Thus the Muni directed Diti to follow celibacy and fasting with concentrated Tapasya for thousand years and and worship the Supreme whereafter she should observe a 'Vrata'. Diti sought Shukraachaarya's direction to observe the Vrata. As Diti conceived eventually, Indra some how got the awareness of what was happening and approached Diti with feigned feelings of affection to his mother's own sister and made her agree to supply flowers and other materials for the Vrata and stayed with her day and night to protect her from Evil Spirits. As Diti fell asleep almost unconciously when Sun was at peak on the Sky, Indra then entered her Garbha with his 'Vajraayudha', saw the fully grown up boy inside and even as the child cried, Indra cajoled him saying Maaroda maaroda (don't cry, don't cry) and sliced the child into seven parts [Aavaha-Prayah-Samyaha-Udyaha-Vivaha-Parivaha-Paraavaha] and further cut the seven parts to total up to forty nine sub-parts; the fully awaken Diti Devi pleaded mercy and cried louldly saying: na hantavyah, na hantavyah! (not to be killed, not to be killed!). Meanwhile Indra jumped out and sought her pardon for the imprudence that he committed! The terribly distressed Diti was taken aback and got bewildered for a while and having recovered her senses said that Indra need not be afraid of her anger as she would reconcile to what had happened since after all his action was not unjustified as his position would have been at stake of the child was really born. Having said that most magnanimously she blessed each part of the killed boy as follows: Bhavantu mama Putraanaam Sapta Sthaanaani vai Divi, Vaataskandhaanimaansapta charantu mama Putrakaah/ (May my sons be borne by Vayu into seven eternal places of glory and be blessed as Marut Devas with unprecedented splendour and reputation at seven parts of the Universe!)Diti declared further: Let the first sphere be on Earth, the second in Surya Mandala, the third in Chandra Mandala, the fourth on the Sky at the Jyotisha Mandala, the fifth among the Graha Mandala or the Planetary System, the sixth in the Saptarishi Mandala and the seventh in Dhruva Loka. May my sons move about freely in all the Seven

Places with magnificence and pride. Diti further blessed and ordained that the first batch of Marud Ganaas or the first 'Vaata Skantha' or Air Pocket be called 'Avaha'in the vicinity of Bhumi; the second batch of the Vayu Skandha would be reputed as 'Prahava' beyond the clouds upto the Solar Region; the third and fourth batch of Marud Ganaas moving in the Lunar Mandala and underneath the Star Constellations, the Vavu Skandha would be fabled as 'Samvaha'; the fifth bunch of Marud ganaas reaching upto Planets would be distinguished as 'Vivahava'; let the sixth in the series climbing upto Saptarshi Mandala be popularised as 'Anuvaha' and the final hike nearby Dhruva Mandala be glorigied as 'Pariyaha'. Oh Shakra! Let it be known all over the Universe that the names of my children on the basis of the deeds entrusted to each of the Ganas are: Shukra jyoti, Satya, Satya Jyoti, Chitra Jyoti, Jyotishmaan, Sutava, Chaitya; the second Gana would comprise Rutajit, Satyajit, Sushena, Sevajit, Sutamitra, Amitra, and Suramitra; the names of the third Ganaas would be Dhatu, Dhanada, Ugra, Bhima, Varuna, Abhiyuktaaksha, and Saahvya. The fifth Gana would have the names of Druk, Anadruk, Sirat, Druma, Vrikshaka, Mita, and Samita. The Shasthagana would have the names of Iruk, Purusha, Naanaadruk, Samachetana, Sammita, Samavrit and Prati harta. (Incidentally, Brahmanda Purana did not mention the other names). Indra assured that whatever Diti had stated would indeed be firmed up and that all the Forty Marud Ganaas would be share holders of Yagna bhaagas or the Authorised Consumers of the Sacrficial Offerings. They would also be his own brothers and the Co-Devataas!

Sarga Forty Seven

Saptadhā tu kṛte garbhe ditih paramaduḥkhitā, sahasrākṣam durādharṣam vākyam sānunayābravīt/ mamāparādhād garbho 'yam saptadhā viphalīkrtah, nāparādho 'sti deveśa tavātra balasūdana/ priyam tu kṛtam icchāmi mama garbhaviparyaye, marutām saptam saptānām sthānapālā bhavantv ime/ vātaskandhā ime sapta carantu divi putrakāh, mārutā iti vikhyātā divyarūpā mamātmajāh/ brahmalokam caratv eka indralokam tathāparah, divi vāyur iti khyātas trtīyo 'pi mahāyaśāh/ catvāras tu suraśrestha diśo vai tava śāsanāt, samcarisyanti bhadram te devabhūtā mamātmajāh, tvatkṛtenaiva nāmnā ca mārutā iti viśrutāh/ tasvās tadvacanam śrutvā sahasrāksah puramdarah, uvāca prāñjalir vākvam ditim balanisūdanah/ sarvam etad vathoktam te bhavisvati na samśavah, vicarisvanti bhadram te devabhūtās tavātmajāḥ/ evam tau niścayam krtvā mātāputrau tapovane, jagmatus tridivam rāma krtārthāv iti nah śrutam/ esa deśah sa kākutstha mahendrādhyusitah purā, ditim yatra tapah siddhām evam paricacāra sah/iksvākos tu naravyāghra putrah paramadhārmikah, alambusāyām utpanno viśāla iti viśrutah,tena cāsīd iha sthāne viśāleti purī krtā/ viśālasya suto rāma hemacandro mahābalah,sucandra iti vikhyāto hemacandrād anantarah/ sucandratanayo rāma dhūmrāśva iti viśrutah, dhūmrāśvatanayaś cāpi sṛñjayah samapadyata/ sa sṛñjayasya sutah śrīmān sahadevah pratāpavān, kuśāśvah sahadevasya putraḥ paramadhārmikah/ kuśāśvasya mahātejāḥ somadattah pratāpavān, somadattasya putras tu kākutstha iti viśrutaḥ/ tasya putro mahātejāḥ sampraty eṣa purīm imām, āvasaty amaraprakhyaḥ sumatir nāma durjavah/ iksvākos tu prasādena sarve vaišālikā nrpāh, dīrghāvuso mahātmāno vīrvavantah sudhārmikāh/ ihādva rajanīm rāma sukham vatsvāmahe vavam, svah prabhāte narasrestha janakam drastum arhasi/ sumatis tu mahātejā viśvāmitram upāgatam, śrutvā naravaraśresthah pratyudgacchan mahāyaśāh/ pūjām ca paramām kṛtvā sopādhyāyah sabāndhavah, prāñjalih kuśalam prstvā viśvāmitram athābravīt/ dhanyo 'smy anugrhīto 'smi yasya me visayam mune samprāpto darśanam caiva nāsti dhanvataro mama/

As Diti Devi had thus severed her womb into seven parts, she kept on crying at the tragedy, she appeared to haved reconciled and addressed Indra that it was most unfortunate at the sequence of the events and even so do me the favour of allowing them to freely move about in all directions. Let the first child be popular as Marudas and be popular as 'Vaataskandhas'. Viz. Aavaha-Pravaha-Samvaha-Udvaha-Vivaha-Parivaha-and Paraavaha. May each of thus named Maruds be sub divided to seven each thus making the total of forty nine Marudas; the first lot of the Marud Ganas would move about in Brahma Loka, the second in the Indra Loka, the third in the Vayu loka. The rest of the Marud ganas might be as per the instructions of Indra and they be identified by their slogans of 'Maa Rudah'. Indra heard and noted the

words of Devi Diti with veneration and close attention and responded with folded hands and declared that her sons would all of celestial forms and powers of the other Devas as well and would have total freedom to move about all ocer with no restrictions at all. There after the proceeded to their respective destinations. Thus Sage Vishvamitra addressed Shri Rama stating that they were at that very place where the above instances had occured in the remote past when in the days of yore, there was an Ikshvaaku King of great virtue and fame Hemachandra and in that family series were Suchandra- Dhumraaksha-- Srumjaya-Saha Deva- Kushashva-Somadatta- Kakutstha- Sumati. Vishmamitra then declared that the trio would spend the night the kingdom of Sumati and proceed to Mithila the kingdom of Janaka Raja! King Sumati having heartd in advance of the arrival of the Maharshi and the well famed Raja Kumaras reached the precincts of the Kingdom and formally welcomed them in person and followers.

Sarga Forty Eight

Prishthaatu tu kuśalam tatra parasparasamāgame, kathānte sumatir vākyam vyājahāra mahāmunim/ imau kumārau bhadram te devatulyaparākramau, gajasimhagatī vīrau śārdūlavṛṣabhopamau/ padmapatraviśālāksau khadgatūnīdhanurdharau, aśvināv iva rūpena samupasthitayauvanau/ yadrcchayaiya gām prāptau devalokād ivāmarau, katham padbhyām iha prāptau kimartham kasya vā mune/ bhūṣayantāv imam deśam candrasūryāv ivāmbaram, parasparasya sadṛśau pramānengitacestitaih/ kimartham ca naraśresthau samprāptau durgame pathi, varāvudhadharau vīrau śrotum icchāmi tattvatah/ tasya tad vacanam śrutvā yathāvrttam nyavedayat, siddhāśramanivāsam ca rāksasānām vadham tatha, viśvāmitravacah śrutvā rājā paramaharsitah/ Atithī paramau prāptau putrau daśarathasya tau, pūjayām āsa vidhivat satkārārhau mahābalau/ tatah paramasatkāram sumateh prāpya rāghavau, usya tatra niśām ekām jagmatur mithilām tatah/ tām dṛstvā munayah sarve janakasya purīm subhām, sādhu sādhu iti samsanto mithilām samapūjayan/ mithilopayane tatra āsramam drsya rāghavaḥ, purāṇam nirjanam ramyam papraccha munipumgavam/ śrīmadāśramasamkāśam kim nv idam munivarjitam, śrotum icchāmi bhagayan kasvāyam pūrva āśramah/ tac chrutā rāghayenoktam vākyam vākvaviśāradah, pratyuvāca mahātejā viśvamitro mahāmunih/ hanta te kathavisvāmi śrnu tattvena rāghava, yasyaitad āśramapadam śaptam kopān mahātmanā/ gautamasya naraśreṣṭha pūrvam āsīn mahātmanah, āśramo divyasamkāśah surair api supūjitah/ sa ceha tapa ātisthad ahalyāsahitah purā, varsapūgāny anekāni rājaputra mahāyaśah/ tasyāntaram viditvā tu sahasrāksah śacīpatih, munivesadharo 'halvām idam vacanam abravīt/ rtukālam pratīksante nārthinah susamāhite, samgamam tv aham icchāmi tvayā saha sumadhyame/ munivesam sahasrāksam vijnāya raghunandana, matim cakāra durmedhā devarājakutūhalāt/ athābravīt suraśrestham kṛtārthenāntarātmanā, kṛtārtho 'si suraśrestha gaccha śīghram itaḥ prabho, ātmānam mām ca deveśa sarvadā rakṣa mānadah/ indras tu prahasan vākyam ahalyām idam abravīt, suśroņi paritusto 'smi gamişyāmi yathāgatam/ evam samgamva tu tavā niścakrāmotajāt tatah, sa sambhramāt tvaran rāma śankito gautamam prati/ gautamam sa dadarśātha praviśantam mahāmunim, devadānavadurdharsam tapobalasamanvitam/ tīrthodakapariklinnam dīpya -mānam ivānalam, grhītasamidham tatra sakuśam munipungavam dṛṣṭvā surapatis trasto visannavadano 'bhavat, atha dṛstvā sahasrāksam munivesadharam munih, durvṛttam vṛttasampanno rosād vacanam abravīt/ mama rūpam samāsthāya kṛtavān asi durmate, akartavyam idam yasmād viphalas tvam bhavisyati/ gautamenaivam uktasya sarosena mahātmanā, petatur yrsanau bhūmau sahasrākṣasya tatkṣaṇāt/ tathā śaptvā sa vai śakram bhāryām api ca śaptavān, iha varşasahasrāni bahūni tvam nivatsyasi/ vāyubhakṣā nirāhārā tapyantī bhasmaśāyinī, adṛśyā sarvabhūtānām āśrame 'smin nivatsyasi/ yadā caitad vanam ghoram rāmo daśarathātmajaḥ, āgamisyati durdharşas tadā pūtā bhavişyasi/ tasyātithyena durvrtte lobhamohavivarjitā, matsakāśe mudā yuktā svam vapur dhārayisyasi/ evam uktvā mahātejā gautamo dustacārinīm, imam āśramam utsrjya siddhacāranasevite, himavacchikhare ramye tapas tepe mahātapāh/

After exchanging niceties of mutual welfare, King Sumati profusely thanked the guests, especially Rama Lakshmanas whose style of walking and behaviour were reminders of an graceful Elephant King or of a

profound King of Lions; their eyes are readily arresting as of freshly well opened up lotus flowers; their mighty shoulders carry 'khadga- tuna dhanush' as though putting the ever youthful Ashvini Kumars to shame while seeking to hide their valour with a thick layer of modesty! One should wonder that two Deva Kumaras had mistakenly descended and put their feet from Indra Loka to Bhuloka. Just as Surya and Chandra provide radiance and cool brightness respectively, this Kingdom had now come to attain glory with their arrival with high and mighty physiques and eqaunimous conduct and manners. Then as the King was lost in the presence of Rama Lakshmanas likewise, Maharshi Vishvamitra intervened and explained of the series brave acts that they had been exhibiting like the total annihilations of Daitya Rakshasa Danava Elements eversince their depature from Ayodhya. The awe inspiring incidents as described by the Maharshi gave thrills to the King and on partial recovery of his senses realised his duty to make their stay overnight to be comfortable at his maximum command. Next morning they had after their morning duties proceeded to Mithila of Vaishali desha and admired the set up, the orderliness, and ready attractions of the city. Mithila is bounded by the rivers of Mahanadi in the East, Ganga in the South, Gandaki in the west as sprawling foothills of Himalayas in the north extending into the eastern terrain (of the present Nepal) and the capital city of Videha Kings called Janakas. In the city of Mithila, there was an 'ashram ' about which Maharshi Vishvamitra explained to Rama Lakshmanas; the ashram was of Maharshi Gautama and his wife Devi Ahalya a famed Parivrata in the days of yore. It was at this Ashram that Gautama cursed Indra as the latter masqueraded as Gautama; the Maya Gautama in the absence of real Gautama stated to Ahalya Devi: Ritukālam pratīksante nārthinah susamāhite, samgamam tv aham icchāmi tvayā saha sumadhyame/ 'Normally, males approach their wives to bed till their menses period is over, but today, I would like you to lie with me'. But Ahalya sensed the presence of Indra in the form of Gautama but still yeilded and asked Indra to disappear at once. Maharshi Vishvamitra continued to Rama Lakshmanas: Having sensed what had just happened between Maya Gautama and Ahalya, Gautama appeared at the ashram by his mystic powers and intercepted Indra at once at the ashram with 'samidhaas and tirtha' viz. wooden chips and water for igniting fire and sprinkling water readied for announcing a 'shaapa'. Deva Raja Indra got shaken up with fright at the anger of the Maharshi as the latter announced: Mama rūpam samāsthāya kṛtavān asi durmate, akartavyam idam yasmād viphalas tvam bhaviṣyati/ gautamenaivam uktasya sarosena mahātmanā, petatur yrsanau bhūmau sahasrāksasya tatksanāt/ Durmati! You have had the audacity of assuming my form and lured my wife to bed; therefore you would be as being 'sahasraaksa' with thousand eyes and as many of frightful forms as also beinbg devoid of 'anda kosha' or the sheath of fertility; instantly that body part fell on earth and he appeared frightful with thousand wavering forms. Then Gautama cursed Arundhati: Iha varsasahasrāni bahūni tvam nivatsyasi/ vāyubhaksā nirāhārā tapyantī bhasmaśāyinī, adrśyā sarvabhūtānām āśrame 'smin nivatsyasi' yadā caitad vanam ghoram rāmo daśarathātmajah, āgamisyati durdharsas tadā pūtā bhavisyasi/ tasyātithyena durvṛtte lobhamohavivarjitā, matsakāśe mudā yuktā svam vapur dhārayisyasi/' Duraachaarini! May you become in this very ashram as a boulder / heavy stone with neither senses nor life with air as food and rain as drink, till such time after centuries, that Shri Rama would arrive at this ashram and with his sacerd 'paada sparshana' or the touch of His feet that you would be liberated to normalcy!' Having cursed both Indra and Devi Ahalya thus, Maharshi Gautama retired to mountain tops for tapasya again.

<u>Vishleshana on Indra assuming Maharshi Gautama's form takes to bed Devi Ahalya, the latter's wife - a supreme Pativrata</u>Ganesha Purana, Chapters 30-34: Brahmarshi Narada states: He visited Lord Indra at Amaravati as the former complimented Narada as a Triloka Sanchari; Narada replied that his latest was 'mrityuloka' and chanced to meet Rishi Gautama in his ashram along with his wife Devi Ahalya; he also said that Ahalya was supremely pretty and her exquisiteness and grace was 'par excellence' in the Three Lokas that he ever visited as the Apsraas and all the Swarga based feminine beauty and charm was truly negligible. After Narada's social call was over, Indra visited Gautama's ashram; the Maharshi was busy with his morning duties and left the ashram. Meanwhile Indra assumed the Rishi's form and entered their bedroom. Devi Ahalya was stunned to see Maya Gautama in her bed room and exclaimed whether the Muni had not left for the duties but lying in the bed. Indra in the maya rupa said that he short circuited the

puja and desired to go into bed with her as he was attacked by 'kaama baana', fondled her red and luscious and body parts and slept with her as she replied that there would be no other stree dharma as she ought to be a Pativrata and chirruped: Karyeshu Dasi, Karaneshu Manthri; Bhojeshu Mata, Shayaneshu Rambha, Roopeshu lakshmi, Kshamayeshu Dharitri, Shat dharmayukta, Kuladharma Patni/ and fell into the bed of Maayavi Gautama! Then Indra showed his own form and Arundhati was astonished and shocked as a stone. Even in the bed she felt a doubt that the body which she fondled was of different odour. As Indra disappeared, she was lost in thoughts. As the husband returned, she fell straight at his feet as the Maharshi out of his 'divya drishti'/ celestial vision as what all had happened. He stated that: In respect of mantra-ayush-grihacchidra especially related to griha parivaara, rati karma-aoushadhi sevamaana sammaan as also avamaan and daama, a wise person should be discreet in advertising in public. Thus the Maharshi gave a 'shaap' to Devi Ahalya to turn into a stone since Ahalya was unable to distinguish the form- nature-and actions in comparison to a Para purusha and got mixed up with the his body parts and semen- albeit Indra was the Lord of Swarga. Then he gave a shaap to his dharma patni to instantly become a stone till such time Lord Shri Rama, in the course of vana vaasa would receive his 'paada sparsha'. On learning about the Maharshi's shaap, Indra got shivers like a sand storm got shatterd by a mountain and instantly assumed the form of a cat and ran away from the scene. Realising that Indra fled away, the Maharshi cursed Indra to assume a swarupa as broken into thousand parts. As Indra who killed Vritraasura a Brahmana was carrying the ill- reputation of brahmana hatya, one of the Pancha Maha Paatakas of Stree hatya, Bhruna / Shishu hathya, Brahmana hatya, Go hatya and Guru hatya / Guru Bharya Gamana, realised that the shaap of Maharshi Gautama and rued deeply as to how could show up his face in Deva Sabha as he was expected to preach the principles of dharma while unable to observe and follow himaself, let alone enforce it! Indra decided: Praanibhir bhujyate karma shubham vaashubham, tiryag yonim samaadaadya khapishyeghamaatmanah, nalinee kundmale tishtheheen idragopagaruupadhruk/All the 'jeeva rasis' in srishti- from Indra to an insect-ought to reap the fruits of their past acts and as such I ought to assume tiryak yoni or the form of a 'pashu pakshi keetaka' and thus decide to become a worm as an Indragopa keetaka.' [Reference on Pativratas: Sapta Pativratas: Ahalya, Draupadi, Sita, Tara, Mandodari, Anasuya and Sumati: An explanation of a Parivrata refers to Ahalya though she slept with Indra but she had her husband Muni Gautama was genuinely on her mind and when turned into a stone due to Gautama's Shaap Rama purified her too for her dereliction due to her ignorance; Draupadi though she married Pancha Pandavas since all the Pandavas were of the Amsha of Indra whose virility was distributed to Devi Kunti through Yama Dharmaraja to beget Yudhishtara, Vayu Deva to beget Bhima, Arjuna from his (Indra's) own and Ashwini Kumars from Devi Maadri as Nakula and Sahadeva apart from the fact that Draupadi was Indra's better half viz Sachi Devi who was originally Yagneshani the daughter of Agni as clarified in Markandeya Purana; Devi Sita despite Ravana's pressure tactics had only Rama always; Devi Tara the wife of Vaali but the Tradition of Kishkindha allowed Sugriva to marry after Vaali's death as approved by Rama himself and Mandodari of course was a fixation on Ravanasura despite his infatuation with Sita; Anasuya the wife of Atri and the the illustrious Kardama Prajapati : Sumati who was an outstanding Pativrata who adored her husband a Leper and even prostrated before a woman whom her husband desired to sleep with.] As Indra hid himself as a Indragopa Keetaka, Deva Guru Brihaspati and Devas approached Maharshi Gautama with the sincere prostrations and requested him to withdraw the shaap or atleast mitigate it. The Maharshi initially reacted stating that a person of Indra's stature as he was a kapati-shatha-dushta-aviveki-and pashchaattaapa rahita paapi and his paschaattapa would be futile. Yet, as you are all urging sincerely then Indra even in the keetaka form be taught with the Shadakshara Ganesha Mantra as Ganesha was always a 'sarva karta-sarva harta-sarvapaata-kripaanidhi-Brahmavishnu Shivaatmika and Mahasiddhi pradaayaka'. The vidhivatra Shadakshara Ganesha Mantra pleased Indra and the Gautama shaapa to Indra got diluted and hence forward Indra would hence forward would assume a divya deha become a sahasra netra instead of 'shasra shareera chheda'. Indra while assuming his normal swarupa- albeit with mitigated curse by Gautama, had foremost reached the Maharshi's feet and thanked him profusely. There after, Indra seated under a kadamba tree, practised Ganesh'a shadakshara mantra for thousand years and Ganesha gave his benign darshan and blessed him as that the place, came to be famed as Kadambara Chintaa Mani pura and

eversince that the Chintamani Sarovara had become reputed as a place as the abode of Abheeshta Siddhi Chintaamani Vinayaka where Indra Himself contructed a huge temple with a sphatika murti with golden frame.

Sarga Forty Nine

Aphalas tu tatah śakro devān agnipurogamān, abravīt trastavadanah sarṣisamghān sacāraṇān/ kurvatā tapaso vighnam gautamasya mahātmanah, krodham utpādya hi mayā surakāryam idam krtam/ aphalo 'smi kṛtas tena krodhāt sā ca nirākṛtā śāpamoksena mahatā tapo 'syāpahṛtaṁ mayā' tan māṁ surayarāh sarve sarsisamghāh sacāranāh, surasāhyakaram sarve saphalam kartum arhatha/ śatakrator vacah śrutvā devāh sāgnipurogamāh, pitrdevān upetyāhuh saha sarvair marudganaiha/ayam mesah savṛsanah śakro hy avrsanah krtah, mesasya vrsanau grhya śakrāyāśu prayacchata/ aphalas tu krto mesah parām tustim pradāsvati, bhavatām harsanārthāva ve ca dāsvanti mānavāh/ agnes tu vacanam śrutvā pitrdevāh samāgatāh, utpātva mesayrsanau sahasrākse nyavedayan/ tadā prabhrti kākutstha pitrdevāh samāgatāh, aphalān bhuñjate meṣān phalais teṣām ayojayan/indras tu meṣavṛṣaṇas tadā prabhṛti rāghava, gautamasya prabhāvena tapasaś ca mahātmanaḥ/ tadāgaccha mahāteja āśramam puṇyakarmaṇaḥ, tārayainām mahābhāgām ahalyām devarūpinīm/ viśvāmitravacah śrutvā rāghavah sahalaksmanah, viśvāmitram puraskṛtya āśramam praviveśa ha/ dadarśa ca mahābhāgām tapasā dyotitaprabhām, lokair api samāgamya durnirīkṣyām surāsuraih/ prayatnān nirmitām dhātrā divyām māyāmayīm iva, dhūmenābhiparītāngīm pūrnacandraprabhām iva/ satusārāvrtām sābhrām pūrnacandraprabhām iva, madhye 'mbhaso durādharṣām dīptām sūryaprabhām iva/ sa hi gautamavākyena durnirīkṣyā babhūva ha, trayānām api lokānām yāvad rāmasya darśanam/ rāghavau tu tatas tasyāh pādau jagrhatus tadā, smarantī gautamavacah pratijagrāha sā ca tau/ pādyam arghyam tathātithyam cakāra susamāhitā, pratijagrāha kākutstho vidhidrstena karmanā/ puspavṛstir mahaty āsīd devadundubhinisvanaih, gandharyāpsarasām cāpi mahān āsīt samāgamah/ sādhu sādhv iti devās tām ahalyām samapūjayan, tapobalaviśuddhāṅgīm gautamasya vaśānugām/ gautamo 'pi mahātejā ahalyāsahitaḥ sukhī, rāmam sampūjya yidhiyat tapas tepe mahātapāh/rāmo 'pi paramām pūjām gautamasya mahāmuneh, sakāśād vidhivat prāpva jagāma mithilām tatah/

Indra got terrified at the curse of Maharshi Gautama and his wife Shachi Devi too left him away in anger and anguish. Indra's erstwhile tapasya too might be affected and he was thus worried as to how to surmount this predicament. Marudganas and Agni Deva then approached the Kavya vaahanaadi Pitru Devatas and prostratingly requested them to accept the sacrifice of a goat and replace the animal's 'andakosha' to be transplanted and revive Inda's fallen 'andakoshaadis' again. As Agni's request was accepted the andakosha of Indra was revived with that of the sacrificed goat's andakosha. As this narration of Indra- Ahalya-and Gautama concluded, Maharshi Vishvamitra directed to enter the 'Goutamaashrama'. Dadarśa ca mahābhāgām tapasā dyotitaprabhām, lokair api samāgamya durnirīksvām surāsuraih/ They then witnessed Maha Soubhagyashalini Devi Ahalya was lying there as a symbol of radiance with very long tapasya being invisible by Devaasuraas alike in that form of a stone. Sa hi gautamavākyena durnirīkṣyā babhūva ha, trayāṇām api lokānām yāvad rāmasya darśanam/ rāghavau tu tatas tasyāh pādau jagrhatus tadā, smarantī gautamavacah pratijagrāha sā ca tau/ None indeed could ever see Devi Ahalya in Three Lokas for countless ages so far, but now Her appearance emerged visibly with the mere touch of Shri Rama's both the foot prints! On being visible, Devi Ahalya commenced her welcome to the Ashram with her washing Rama Lakshmamas feet and sincerely receiving them with the enquiries of their welfare politely! As this epic like occurrence was happening, Devaadi celestials showered sweet scented flowers fron the high skies and resorted to reverberating sounds of drums in all the directions, As both Gautami Maharshi and Devi Ahalya were re-united, the citizens of trilokas rejoiced, even as Shri Rama Lakshmanas followed Maharshi Vishvamitra towards Mithilapuri.

Tataḥ prāguttarām gatvā rāmaḥ saumitriṇā saha, viśvāmitram puraskṛtya yajñavāṭam upāgamat/ rāmas tu muniśārdūlam uvāca sahalakṣmaṇaḥ, sādhvī yajñasamṛddhir hi janakasya mahātmanah/ bahūnīha sahasrāņi nānādeśanivāsinām, brāhmaņānām mahābhāga vedādhyayanaśālinām/ ṛṣivāṭāś ca dṛśyante śakatīśatasamkulāh, deśo vidhīyatām brahman vatra vatsvāmahe vayam/ rāmasya vacanam śrutvā viśvāmitro mahāmuniḥ, niveśam akarod deśe vivikte salilāyute/ viśvāmitram muniśreṣṭham śrutvā sa nṛpatis tadā, śatānandaṁ puraskṛtya purohitam aninditam/ rtvijo 'pi mahātmānas tv arghyam ādāya satvaram, viśvāmitrāva dharmena dadur mantrapuraskrtam/ pratigrhva tu tām pūjām janakasva mahātmanah, papraccha kuśalam rājño yajñasya ca nirāmayam/ sa tāmś cāpi munīn prstvā sopādhyāya purodhasah, yathānyāyam tatah sarvaih samāgacchat prahrstavān/ atha rājā muniśrestham kṛtāñjalir abhāsata, āsane bhagavān āstām sahaibhir munisattamaih/janakasya vacah śrutvā nisasāda mahāmunih, purodhā rtvijas caiva rājā ca saha mantribhih āsanesu yathānyāyam upavistān samantatah, dṛṣṭvā sa nṛpatis tatra viśvāmitram athābravīt/ adya yajñasamṛddhir me saphalā daivataiḥ kṛtā, adya vajñaphalam prāptam bhagavaddarśanān mayā/dhanyo 'smy anugrhīto 'smi yasya me munipumgaya vajñopasadanam brahman prāpto 'si munibhih saha/ dvādaśāham tu brahmarse sesam āhur manīsinah, tato bhāgārthino devān drastum arhasi kauśika/ity uktvā muniśārdūlam prahṛstavadanas tadā, punas tam paripapraccha prānjaliḥ prayato nṛpaḥ/ imau kumārau bhadram te devatulyaparākramau, gajasimhagatī vīrau śārdūlavṛsabhopamau/ padmapatraviśālāksau khadgatūnīdhanurdharau, aśvināv iva rūpena samupasthitayauvanau/ yadrcchayaiva gām prāptau devalokād ivāmarau, katham padbhyām iha prāptau kimartham kasya vā mune/ varāyudhadharau vīrau kasya putrau mahāmune, bhūṣayantāv imam deśam candrasūryāv ivāmbaram/ parasparasya sadrśau pramāņengitacestitaih, kākapakṣadharau vīrau śrotum icchāmi tattvataḥ/ tasya tadvacanam śrutvā janakasya mahātmanaḥ, nyavedayan mahātmā - nau putrau daśarathasya tau/Siddhaashrama nivaasam cha raakshasaanaam vadham tathaa, tatraagamanamayyagnam vishaayaalaascha daeshamam/ Ahalyaa darshanam chaiva Goutamena samaagamam, mahaa dhanushi jiginaasaam kartumaaganam tathaa/ etat sarvam mahātejā janakāya mahātmane, nivedya virarāmātha viśvāmitro mahāmunih/

On entering the Yagjina Shaala, Maharshi Vishvamitra followed Rama Lakshmanas were quite impressed as thousands of Brahmanas were seated with their svaadhyaana of Vedas and there was hardly space where they might sqeeze in even to stand properly. But as the word got spread that Brahmarshi Vishvamitra had arrived and King Janaka with Purohita Shataananda ahead came out running to receive the Brahmarshi with arghyapushpaadi materials and made him seated comfortably and exclaimed that the yagjina should be indeed worthy of memory for all the guests present.

Then King Janaka enquired:imau kumārau bhadram te devatulyaparākramau, gajasimhagatī vīrau śārdūlavṛṣabhopamau/ padmapatraviśālākṣau khaḍgatūnīdhanurdharau, aśvināv iva rūpeṇa samupasthitayauvanau/ yadṛcchayaiva gām prāptau devalokād ivāmarau, katham padbhyām iha prāptau kimartham kasya vā mune/ varāyudhadharau vīrau kasya putrau mahāmune, bhūṣayantāv imam deśam candrasūryāv ivāmbaram/ parasparasya sadṛśau pramāṇeṅgitaceṣṭitaiḥ, kākapakṣadharau vīrau śrotum icchāmi tattvataḥ/ Maha Muni! May I have the privilege of being introduced these Raja Kumaras who are like Devatas with radiance, grace and heroism moving like elephant like walk of height, with smiles of fresh and opened up lotus leaves, carrying dhanush- arrows in containers, sword and knife tied to their slim and sturdy waists akin to Ashvini Kumaras! Whose sons are these of that glorious and prould King as their demeanor is readily distinct and outstanding! As King Janaka kept on showering praises openly and loudly about the Raja Kumaras, Maharshi interrupted replying that these Raja Kumaras named Shri Rama and Lakshmana were the sons of the glorious King Dashratha of Ayodhya!

Brahmarshi then said with pride: Siddhaashrama nivaasam cha raakshasaanaam vadham tathaa, tatraagamanamavyagnam vishaayaalaascha daeshamam/ Ahalyaa darshanam chaiva Goutamena samaagamam, mahaa dhanushi jigjnaasaam kartumaaganam tathaa/ Both these had just concluded impossible and unbelievable acts of bravery and heroism like restoration of rakshasa free siddhhaashrama

and its regular yagjna karyas whereafter till our safe and smooth arrival here after Vishala Puri darshana, Devi Ahalya shaapa vimochana and so on. Finally, Vishvamitra stated that they were interested in knowing about the Maha Shiva Dhanush and it was that intense desire that the have thus arrived here!

Sarga Fifty One

Tasya tadvacanam śrutvā viśvāmitrasya dhīmatah, hṛṣṭaromā mahātejāh śatānando mahātapāh/ gautamasya suto jyesthas tapasā dyotitaprabhah, rāmasamdarsanād eva param vismayam āgatah/ sa tau nisannau sampreksya sukhāsīnau nrpātmajau, śatānando muniśrestham viśvāmitram athābravīt/ api te muniśārdūla mama mātā vaśasvinī, daršitā rājaputrāva tapo dīrgham upāgatā/ api rāme mahātejo mama mātā yaśasvinī, vanyair upāharat pūjām pūjārhe sarvadehinām/ api rāmāya kathitam vathāvṛttam purātanam, mama mātur mahātejo devena duranusthitam/ api kauśika bhadram te gurunā mama samgatā, mātā mama muniśrestha rāmasamdaršanād itah/ api me guruņā rāmaḥ pūjitah kuśikātmaja, ihāgato mahātejāḥ pūjām prāpya mahātmana/ api śāntena manasā gurur me kuśikātmaja 1050009c ihāgatena rāmena pravatenābhivāditah/tac chrutvā vacanam tasva viśvāmitro mahāmunih, pratyuvāca satānandam vākyajno vākyakovidam/ nātikrāntam munisrestha yat kartavyam krtam mayā, samgatā muninā patnī bhārgaveņeva reņukā/ tac chrutvā vacanam tasya viśvāmitrasya dhīmataḥ, śatānando mahātejā rāmam vacanam abravīt/ svāgatam te naraśrestha distyā prāpto 'si rāghava, viśvāmitram puraskrtya maharsim aparājitam/ acintyakarmā tapasā brahmarsir amitaprabhah, viśvāmitro mahātejā vetsy enam paramām gatim/ nāsti dhanyataro rāma tvatto 'nyo bhuvi kaś cana, goptā kuśikaputras te vena taptam mahat tapah/ śrūvatām cābhidāsvāmi kauśikasva mahātmanah, yathābalam yathāvṛttam tan me nigadataḥ śṛṇư/ rājābhūd eṣa dharmātmā dīrgha kālam arimdamaḥ, dharmajñah krtavidyaś ca prajānām ca hite ratah/ prajāpatisutas tv āsīt kuśo nāma mahīpatih, kuśasya putro balavān kuśanābhah sudhārmikah/ kuśanābhasutas tv āsīd gādhir ity eva viśrutah, gādheh putro mahātejā viśvāmitro mahāmunih/ viśvamitro mahātejāh pālayām āsa medinīm, bahuvarsasahasrāni rājā rājyam akārayat/ kadā cit tu mahātejā yojayitvā varūthinīm, aksauhinīparivrtah paricakrāma medinīm/ nagarāṇi ca rāṣṭrāṇi saritaś ca tathā girīn, āśramān kramaśo rājā vicarann ājagāmaha/ vasiṣṭha svāśramapadam nānāpuspaphaladrumam, nānāmrgaganākīrnam siddhacāranasevitam/ devadānavagandharvaih kimnarair upasobhitam, prasāntaharinākīrnam dvijasamghanisevitam, brahmarşiganasamkīrnam devarşiganasevitam/ tapaścaranasamsiddhair agnikalpair mahātmabhih, satatam samkulam śrīmad brahmakalpair mahātmabhih/ abbhaksair vāyubhaksaiś ca śīrnaparnāśanais tathā, phalamūlāśa -nair dāntair jitarosair jitendriyaih, rsibhir vālakhilyaiś ca japahomaparāyanaiha/ vasisthasyāśrama -padam brahmalokam ivāparam, dadarśa jayatām śrestha viśvāmitro mahābalah/ On hearing even a quick one stanza summing up of Rama Lakshmana's unbelievable conquests of Rakshasaas and other miracle acts especially 'Devi Ahalya shaapa vimochana and saakshaatkara', King Janaka's purohita Rishi Shataananda felt over awed. The latter was the elder son of Maharshi Goutama and he thanked Brahmarshi Vishvamitra who himself was of unparalleled glory of a Khastriya origin to the elevated status of a Brahmarshi! Shatananda continued his recall with nostalgic tears rolling down his cheeks as to how famed his mother was a Maha Sadhvi and desired to know the details from Vishvamitra as to how she on recovery of the 'shaaapa' that she would have been thrilled to vision Shri Rama in person and should have worshipped Him with flowers and ecstatic prayers! Shatananda's inquisitiveness had thus no barriers: did Vishmamitra give details to Shri Rama about the past glories about his mother as a pativrata of great renown, how Indra was fascinated with her, the circumstances as to how she had to yield to Indra, and the curses to Indra and herself, whether Shri Rama personally met his venerable father Gautama, and such torrential interregotions! Brahmarshi Vishwamitra replied to Maharshi Shatananda nātikrāntam muniśrestha yat kartavyam kṛtam mayā/ I have not done any thing unnatural bur had performed my duties merely! Then Maharshi Shatananda turned to Rama Lakshmanas and warmly welcomed them that their visit was the climax of their fulfillment of heart's outstanding desires and this was all due to the grace of Brahmarshi Vishvamitra. The Maharshi then broke into eulogies of Vishvamitra while addressing Rama Lakshmanas about the Brahmarshi Vishvamitra's glories louldly announcing nāsti dhanyataro rāma tyatto 'nyo bhuyi kaś cana, goptā kuśikaputras te vena taptam mahat

tapaḥ/ 'Shri Rama! On this entire earth there could be no other 'Dhanyaadhi dhanya Purusha' like Vishvamitra who was presently the safeguarder to Rama Lakshmana at this moment!

Having thus declared to the universe, **Shatananda Maharshi made a detailed diversion about Brahmarshi Vishvamitra as follows:** 'Vishvamitra was originally a dharmatma king yet the suppressor of all evil energies on earth and a merciful king with 'prajaakshema' as the principal responsibility. He was the famed son of Gaadhi who was the son of Kushnaabha. The maha tejasvi King Vishvamitra reigned for over thousand years. One historic day he proceed on a hunting extravaganza along with an akshouhini of his sena crossing cities, kingdoms, rivers, huge mountains, forests for hunting animals and birds for fun; he also visited several ashrams of rishis deepy engaged in agni karyaas, vaalakhilyas of short stature hanging down huge tree branches engossed in deep meditations and finally landed on the famed 'ashram' of the renowned Vashishtha Maharshi.

Sarga Fifty Two

Sa drstvā paramaprīto viśvāmitro mahābalah, praņato vinayād vīro vasistham japatām varam/ svāgatam tava cety ukto vasisthena mahātmanā, āsanam cāsya bhagavān vasistho vyādideśa ha/ upavistāya ca tadā viśvāmitrāya dhīmate, yathānyāyam munivarah phalamūlam upāharat/ pratigrhya ca tām pūjām vasisthād rājasattamah, tapo'gnihotrasisyesu kusalam paryaprechata/ visvāmitro mahātejā vanaspatigane tathā, sarvatra kuśalam cāha vasistho rājasattamam/ sukhopavistam rājānam viśvāmitram mahātapāh, papraccha japatām śrestho vasistho brahmaṇaḥ sutaḥ/ kaccit te kuśalam rājan kaccid dharmena rañjayan, prajāḥ pālayase rājan rājayrttena dhārmika/ kaccit te subhrtā bhrtyāḥ kaccit tisthanti śāsane, kaccit te vijitāh sarve ripavo ripusūdana/ kaccid bale ca kośe ca mitresu ca paramtapa, kuśalam te naravyāghra putrapautre tathānagha/ sarvatra kuśalam rājā vasistham pratyudāharat, viśvāmitro mahātejā vasistham vinayānvitah/ kṛtvobhau suciram kālam dharmisthau tāh kathāh śubhāh, mudā paramayā yuktau prīvetām tau parasparam/ tato vasistho bhagavān kathānte raghunandana, viśvāmitram idam vākyam uvāca prahasann iva/ ātithyam kartum icchāmi balasyāsya mahābala, tava caivāprame -vasva vathārham sampratīccha me/ satkrivām tu bhavān etām pratīcchatu mayodvatām, rājams tvam atithiśresthah pūjanīvah pravatnatah/ sa evam ukto vasisthena viśvāmitro mahāmatih, kṛtam ity abravīd rājā pūjāvākyena me tvayā/ phalamūlena bhagavan vidyate yat tavāśrame, pādyenācamanīyena bhagavaddarśanena ca/ sarvathā ca mahāprājña pūjārhena supūjitah, gamisyāmi namas te 'stu maitreneksasva caksusā/ evam bruvantam rājānam vasisthah punar eva hi, nyamantrayata dharmātmā punah punar udāradhīh/ bādham ity eva gādheyo vasistham pratyuvāca ha, yathā priyam bhagavatas tathāstu munisattama/ evam ukto mahātejā vasistho japatām varah, ājuhāva tatah prītah kalmāṣīm dhūtakalmaṣaḥ/ ehy ehi śabale kṣipram śṛṇu cāpi vaco mama, sabalasyāsya rājarṣeḥ kartum vyavasito 'smy aham, bhojanena mahārheṇa satkāram samvidhatsva me/ yasya yasya yathākāmam şadraseşv abhipūjitam, tat sarvam kāmadhug divye abhivarşakṛte mama/ rasenānnena pānena lehvacosvena samvutam, annānām nicavam sarvam srjasva sabale tvara/ Vashishtha Maharshi welcomed King Vishvamitra and formaly offered fresh fruits and ground grown tubular vegetables and enquired of the happiness and general welfare of his subjects. Similarly the King enquired of the welfare of the Sage, and the inmates of the ashram.. Then Vasishtha smilingly stated: ātithyam kartum icchāmi balasyāsya mahābala, tava caivāprameyasya yathārham sampratīccha me/ satkriyām tu bhavān etām pratīcchatu mayodyatām, rājams tvam atithiśresthah pūjanīyah prayatnatah/ Maharaja! May I offer appropriate lunch to you and your several follower armymen, as my duty is to provide 'atithya' as behoved of a King and followers. The King responded stating that the honours as from an ashram have been more than fulfilled already; more so it was time for his departure. But as the host insisted the King replied: bāḍham ity eva gādheyo vasiṣṭham pratyuvāca ha, yathā priyam bhagavatas tathāstu munisattama/ King Vishvamitra as per the insistence of Vasishtha Muni replied that he ought to obey the instruction of Maharshi Vasishtha. Then Vasishtha asked his 'mind born homa dhenu' named Shabali the celestial cow and requested that she might provide such food as would behove of a famed King and his countless followers. vasva vasva vathākāmam sadrasesv abhipūjitam, tat sarvam

kāmadhug divye abhivarṣakṛte mama/ rasenānnena pānena lehyacoṣyeṇa saṃyutam, annānām nicayam sarvam sṛjasva śabale tvara/ 'Divya Kamadhenu'! entreated Vasishtha, ' please get ready with 'shadrasa bhojana' of ' bhakshya-bhojya- lehya-choshya-paaneeya paramaannas' at the earliest!

Sarga Fifty Three

Evam uktā vasisthena śabalā śatrusūdana, vidadhe kāmadhuk kāmān yasya yasya yathepsitam/ iksūn madhūms tathā lājān maireyāms ca varāsavān, pānāni ca mahārhāņi bhakṣyāms coccāvacāms tathā/ uṣṇāḍhyasyaudanasyāpi rāśayaḥ parvatopamāḥ, mṛṣṭānnāni ca sūpāś ca dadhikulyās tathaiva ca/ nānāsvādurasānām ca sādavānām tathaiva ca, bhājanāni supūrnāni gaudāni ca sahasrasah/ sarvam āsīt susamtustam hrstapustajanākulam, viśvāmitrabalam rāma vasisthenābhitarpitam/ viśvāmitro 'pi rājarsir hṛṣṭapuṣṭas tadābhavat, sāntah puravaro rājā sabrāhmaṇapurohitaḥ/ sāmātyo mantrisahitah sabhṛtyah pūjitas tadā, yuktaḥ pareṇa harṣeṇa vasiṣṭham idam abravīt/ pūjito 'ham tvayā brahman pūjārheṇa susatkrtah, śrūvatām abhidhāsvāmi vākvam vākvavišārada/ gavām šatasahasrena dīvatām šabalā mama, ratnam hi bhagavann etad ratnahārī ca pārthivaḥ, tasmān me śabalām dehi mamaiṣā dharmato dvija/ evam uktas tu bhagavān vasistho munisattamah, viśvāmitreņa dharmātmā pratyuvāca mahīpatim/ nāham śatasahasrena nāpi kotiśatair gavām, rājan dāsyāmi śabalām rāśibhī rajatasya vā/ na parityāgam arheyam matsakāśād arimdama, śāśvatī śabalā mahyam kīrtir ātmavato yathā/ asyām havyam ca kavyam ca prāṇayātrā tathaiva ca, āyattam agnihotram ca balir homas tathaiva ca/ svāhākāravaṣaṭkārau vidyāś ca vividhās tathā, āyattam atra rājarṣe sarvam etan na saṁśayaḥ/ sarva svam etat satyena mama tuştikarī sadā, kāraṇair bahubhī rājan na dāsye śabalām tava/ vasiṣṭhenaivam uktas tu viśvāmitro 'bravīt tatah , samrabdhataram atyartham vākyam vākyaviśāradah/ hairanyakaksyāgraiveyān suvarnānkuśabhūsitān., dadāmi kuñjarānām te sahasrāni caturdaśa/ hairanyānām rathānām ca śvetāśvānām caturyujām, dadāmi te śatāny astau kinkinīkavibhūsitān, hayānām deśajātānām kulajānām mahaujasām/ sahasram ekam daśa ca dadāmi tava suvrata, nānāvarṇavibhaktānām vayaḥsthānām tathaiva ca, dadāmy ekām gavām koṭim śabalā dīyatām mama/ evam uktas tu bhagayān viśyāmitrena dhīmatā,na dāsyāmīti śabalām prāha rājan katham cana/ etad eya hi me ratnam etad eva hi me dhanam, etad eva hi sarvasvam etad eva hi jīvitam/ darśaś ca pūrnamāsaś ca yajñāś caivāptadakṣiṇāḥ, etad eva hi me rājan vividhāś ca kriyās tathā/ adomūlāḥ kriyāḥ sarvā mama rājan na samsayah, bahūnām kim pralāpena na dāsye kāmadohinīm/ As per Maharshi Vasishtha's request, Kamadhenu Shabala arranged the pancha bhaksyas aplenty and afresh. Shataananda Maharshi addressing Rama Lakshmanas thus narrating the background of Brahmarshi Vishvamitra continued: Shri Rama! As Maharshi Vasishtha thus served excellent food to the King along with his entire army and retinue of queens and others too to their complete contentment, King Vishvamitra addressed Maharshi Vasishtha! gavām śatasahasrena dīyatām śabalā mama, ratnam hi bhagavann etad ratnahārī ca pārthivaḥ, tasmān me śabalām dehi mamaiṣā dharmato dvija/ Maharshi!

[Aachaara khanda of Manu Smriti is quoted in this context: tam raajaa pranayansamyak trivargena abhivardhate or He is the ideal King who is truthfully wedded to the principles of virue and nyaaya, modest and ideal earnings for the Self and dependents besides spare for charity, and controlled and regulated by moderate and just desires]

of this kingdom again, let me exchange Shabala as per the established principle of kingship.

Do accept the charity from my kingdom about a lakh of prize cows yielding barrels of fresh and sweet milk due to my being the overall king of my subjects. It is out of the same authority of my being the King

Vasishtha replied: Just as a dharmika parayana could never be severed from his inner consciousness, I too could never be aloof from me since my 'havya-kavya kaaryas' in my daily routine would certainly get affected severely. My routine of agnihotra-bali-homa- swaaha- vashatkaara and all the practice of related vidyas should get adversely disturbed too in her absence. In short, my very existence is my possession of Shabala. King Vishvamitra then offered fourteen thousand elephants, eight hundred golden chariots each

of which adorned with four each of mighty horses of excellent nativity, in addition to which eleven thousand horses of the best possible parts of the contemporary kingdoms too, apart fron one crore cows of sweet milk bearing breed. Maharshi Vasishta declared: King Vishamitra! I will not part with Shabala as this is my jewel, my prosperity, my life and my totality!

Sargas Fifty Four and Fifty Five

Kāmadhenum vasistho 'pi yadā na tyajate munih, tadāsya sabalām rāma visvāmitro 'nvakarşata/ nīyamānā tu sabalā rāma rājñā mahātmanā, duhkhitā cintayām āsa rudantī sokakarsitā/ parityaktā vasisthena kim aham sumahātmanā, vāham rājabhrtair dīnā hriveyam bhrśaduhkhitā/ kim mayāpakṛtam tasya maharser bhāvitātmanah, yan mām anāgasam bhaktām istām tyajati dhārmikah/ iti sā cintayitvā tu nihśvasya ca punah punah, jagāma vegena tadā vasistham paramaujasam/ nirdhūya tāms tadā bhṛtyāñ śataśaḥ śatrusūdana, jagāmānilavegena pādamūlam mahātmanaḥ/ śabalā sā rudantī ca krośantī cedam abravīt, vasisthasyāgratah sthitvā meghadundubhirāviņī/ bhagavan kim parityaktā tvayāham brahmanah suta, vasmād rājabhrtā mām hi navante tvatsakāśatah/ evam uktas tu brahmarsir idam vacanam abravīt, śokasamtaptahrdayām svasāram iva duḥkhitām/ na tvām tyajāmi śabale nāpi me 'pakṛtam tvayā, eṣa tvām nayate rājā balān matto mahābalaḥ/ na hi tulyam balam mahyam rājā tv adya viśesatah, balī rājā ksatriyaś ca pṛthivyāh patir eva ca/ iyam aksauhinīpūrnā savājirathasamkulā, hastidhvajasamākīrnā tenāsau balavattarah/ evam uktā vasisthena pratyuvāca vinītavat, vacanam vacanajñā sā brahmarşim amitaprabham/ na balam kşatriyasyāhur brāhmano balavattarah, brahman brahmabalam divyam kṣatrāt tu balavattaram/ aprameyabalam tubhyam na tvayā balavattaraḥ, viśvāmitro mahāvīryas tejas tava durāsadam/ niyunkṣva mām mahātejas tvadbrahmabalasambhṛtām, tasya darpam balam yat tan nāśayāmi durātmanah/ ity uktas tu tayā rāma vasisthah sumahāyaśāh, srjasveti tadovāca balam parabalārujam/ tasyā humbhāravotsṛstāh pahlavāh śataśo nṛpa, nāśayanti balam sarvam viśvāmitrasya paśyatah/ sa rājā paramakruddhah krodhavisphāriteksanah, pahlavān nāśayām āsa śastrair uccāvacair api/viśvāmitrārditān drstvā pahlavāň śataśas tadā, bhūya evāsrjad ghorāñ śakān yavanamiśritān/ tair āsīt samvṛtā bhūmiḥ śakair yavanamiśritaiḥ, prabhāvadbhir mahāvīrvair hemakiñjalkasamnibhaih/dīrghāsipattisadharair hemavarnāmbarāvrtaih, nirdagdham tad balam sarvam pradīptair iva pāvakaih, tato 'strāni mahātejā viśvāmitro mumoca ha/

Tatas tān ākulān drstvā viśvāmitrāstramohitān, vasisthaś codayām āsa kāmadhuk srja yogatah/ tasyā humbhāravāj jātāh kāmbojā ravisamnibhāh, ūdhasas tv atha samjātāh pahlavāh śastrapānavah/ vonideśāc ca yavanah śakrddeśāc chakās tathā, romakūpesu mecchāś ca harītāh sakirātakāh/ tais tan nisūditam sainyam viśvamitrasya tatksanāt, sapadātigajam sāśvam saratham raghunandana/ dṛstvā niṣūditam sainyam vasiṣṭhena mahātmanā, viśvāmitrasutānām tu śatam nānāvidhāyudham/ abhyadhāvat susamkruddham vasistham japatām varam, humkāreņaiva tān sarvān nirdadāha mahān ṛṣiḥ/ te sāśvarathapādātā vasiṣṭhena mahātmanā, bhasmīkṛtā muhūrtena viśvāmitrasutās tadā/ Tatas tān ākulān drstvā viśvāmitrāstramohitān, vasisthaś codavām āsa kāmadhuk srja vogatah/ tasvā humbhāravāj jātāh kāmbojā ravisamnibhāh, ūdhasas tv atha samjātāh pahlavāh śastrapānavah/vonideśāc ca vavanah śakṛddeśāc chakās tathā, romakūpeṣu mecchāś ca harītāḥ sakirātakāḥ/ tais tan niṣūditam sainyam viśvamitrasya tatksanāt, sapadātigajam sāśvam saratham raghunandana/ drstvā nisūditam sainyam vasisthena mahātmanā, viśvāmitrasutānām tu śatam nānāvidhāyudham/ abhyadhāvat susamkruddham vasistham japatām varam, humkārenaiva tān sarvān nirdadāha mahān rsih/ te sāśvarathapādātā vasişthena mahātmanā, bhasmīkṛtā muhūrtena viśvāmitrasutās tadā/ dṛṣṭvā vināśitān putrān balam ca sumahāyaśāḥ, savrīḍaś cintayāviṣṭo viśvāmitro 'bhavat tadā/ saṁdura iva nirvego bhagnadaṁṣṭra ivoragah, uparakta ivādityah sadyo niṣprabhatām gatah/ hataputrabalo dīno lūnapakṣa iva dvijah, hatadarpo hatotsāho nirvedam samapadyata/ sa putram ekam rājyāya pālayeti niyujya cha, pṛthivīm ksatradharmena vanam evānvapadyata/ sa gatvā himavatpārśvam kimnaroragasevitam, mahādevaprasādārtham tapas tepe mahātapāh/ kena cit tv atha kālena deveśo vṛṣabhadhvajah, darśayām āsa varado viśvāmitram mahāmunim/ kimartham tapyase rājan brūhi yat te vivakṣitam, varado 'smi varo vas te kāṅksitah so 'bhidhīvatām/ evam uktas tu devena viśvāmitro mahātapāh,

praṇipatya mahādevam idam vacanam abravīt/ yadi tuṣṭo mahādeva dhanurvedo mamānagha, sāngopāngopaniṣadaḥ sarahasyaḥ pradīyatām/ yāni deveṣu cāstrāṇi dānaveṣu maharṣiṣu, gandharvayakṣarakṣaḥsu pratibhāntu mamānagha/ tava prasādād bhavatu devadeva mamepsitam, evam astv iti deveśo vākyam uktvā divam gataḥ/ prāpya cāstrāṇi rājarṣir viśvāmitro mahābalaḥ, darpeṇa mahatā yukto darpapūrṇo 'bhavat tadā/ vivardhamāno vīryeṇa samudra iva parvaṇi, hatam eva tadā mene vasiṣṭham ṛṣisattamam/ tato gatvāśramapadam mumocāstrāṇi pārthivaḥ, yais tat tapovanam sarvam nirdagdham cāstratejasā/ udīryamāṇam astram tad viśvāmitrasya dhīmataḥ, dṛṣṭvā vipradrutā bhītā munayaḥ śataśo diśaḥ/ vasiṣṭhasya ca ye śiṣyās tathaiva mṛgapakṣiṇaḥ, vidravanti bhayād bhītā nānādigbhyaḥ sahasraśaḥ/ vasiṣṭhasyāśramapadam śūnyam āsīn mahātmanaḥ, muhūrtam iva niḥśabdam āsīd īriṇasamnibham/ vadato vai vasiṣṭhasya mā bhaiṣṭeti muhur muhuḥ, nāśayāmy adya gādheyam nīhāram iva bhāskaraḥ/ evam uktvā mahātejā vasiṣṭho japatām varaḥ, viśvāmitram tadā vākyam saroṣam idam abravīt/ āśramam cirasamvṛddham yad vināśitavān asi, durācāro 'si yan mūḍha tasmāt tvam na bhaviṣyasi/ ity uktvā paramakruddho daṇḍam udyamya satvaraḥ, vidhūma iva kālāgnir yamadaṇḍam ivāparam/

Muni Shatananda addressing Shri Rama Lakshmanas thus explained Vasishtha's firm resolution never to part with Shabala Kama Dhenu, but the King and his mighty men sought to forcibly hurl it away, even as the Sacred Cow felt that as to which big mistake had been done by her that the Maharshi Vasishtha let his devout follower had let her be taken away forcefully! Having deeply felt agitated thus, Shabala with all her strength suddenly kicked off the grip of the strong soldiers and ran back with airborne speed and cryingly stated: Maharshi! why had you allowed those monstrous soldiers to let me be tied and forcibly taken away! Vasishtha replied: 'how indeed could you ever imagine that I had allowed you to be discarded! Vishmamitra is not only a mighty kshatriya king with vast army, chariots, elephants, horses, and of fame, where as I am a brahmana practising agni karyas and swadhyaayaas'. Shabala replied: na balam ksatriyasyāhur brāhmano balavattarah, brahman brahmabalam divyam ksatrāt tu balavattaram/ aprameyabalam tubhyam na tvayā balavattarah, viśvāmitro mahāvīryas tejas tava durāsadam/ niyunkṣva mām mahātejas tvadbrahmabalasambhrtām, tasya darpam balam yat tan nāśayāmi durātmanah/ Maharshi! The might of Kshatriyas from their physical strength is nothing before from the spiritual prowess of Brahmanas and likewise the material energy of Kshatriyas pales into insignificance vis-à-vis th excellence of Maharshis. Maha Tejasvi Maharshi! do bestow a modicum of your spiritual vigor to me so that I could generate the force that would desrtoy and teach a lesson to the so caaked mighty King Vishvamitra! Then Vasishtha Maharshi asked Shabala to manifest the prowess of such 'sena' to turn to the opponents to pulp. King Vishvamitra was agitated and angered like fire and utilised several 'astras' but the kamadhenu retaliated by creating 'humkaara shabda' even as several more thousands of defenders were generated. Even as his sena was thus fast getting scarcer by the minutes, the King utilised rather light and low voltage 'mantrik astras' which generated thousands of yavana-shaka warriors with golden hued bodies with swords and 'tri shulas'. As the yavana shaka army was thus generated, Maharshi Vasishtha asked the Kama Dhenu to implement its 'Yoga bala' and create yet another band of warriors. Kamadhenu made another 'humkaara'which resulted in the generation of 'kambojas' of Surya Deva's radiance, from the 'stanaas' came out 'barbaraas', from the 'yoni' pradesha Yavanas, from the 'gobara sthaana the 'shakas', and from the kamadhenu's body hairs the 'mlecchhas' and 'kiraataas'. Maharshi Shatananda continued to Shri Rama that countless pores of the body of Kama Dhenu were sprouted veeradheera-sena of elephants, horses, and chatiots. The youthful sons of King Vishvamitra then arrived but they had to soon retreat and died too. dṛṣṭvā vināśitān putrān balam ca sumahāyaśāḥ, savrīḍaś cintayāvisto viśvāmitro 'bhavat tadā/ samdura iva nirvego bhagnadamstra ivoragaḥ, uparakta ivādityaḥ sadyo nisprabhatām gataļ/ hataputrabalo dīno lūnapakṣa iva dvijaḥ, hatadarpo hatotsāho nirvedam samapadyata/ sa putram ekam rājyāya pālayeti niyujya cha, pṛthivīm kṣatradharmeṇa vanam evānvapadyata/ sa gatvā himavatpārśvam kimnaroraga -sevitam, mahādevaprasādārtham tapas tepe mahātapāh/King Vishvamitra saw for himself the devastation and total defeat of the remnant army and the tragic death of two of his three sons and was put to great shame. His haughty temper like the roarings of oceans had dropped to lowest ebbs. It looked that his strong and speedy wings on high skies were cut

as of a powerful Kite which dropped to earth as of death itself! His army got decimated and two of his powerful sons died too. Only one son remained and having declared him as the next king to sustain the 'kshatriyatva' proceeded to the sideways of Himalayas, which were dominated by naagaas and kinnaraas for Tapasya to Maha Deva. Pursuant to persistent and severe tapasya, Maha Deva appeared and asked for the essence of 'dhanur vidya' since apparently he carried revengeful thoughts against Vasishtha! *yadi* tusto mahādeva dhanurvedo mamānagha, sāngopāngopaniṣadaḥ sarahasyaḥ pradīyatām/ yāni deveṣu cāstrāṇi dānaveṣu maharṣiṣu, gandharvayakṣarakṣaḥsu pratibhāntu mamānagha/ tava prasādād bhayatu deyadeya mamepsitam, eyam astv iti deyeso yākyam uktyā diyam gatah/ Maha Deya! as you haye appeared in person being satisfied by my tapasya and asked me for a boon, may I seek to learn the secrets of Dhanur Vidya in totality, which Deva-Danava-Maharshi- Gandharva, Yaksha, Raakshasaas too be aware of; Maha Deva granted the boon and disappeared. Having been blessed by Maha Deva, King Vishvamitra moved forward to Maharshi Vasishtha's ashram, and having experimented various astraas, burnt off the entire forset in which Vasishtaashram too existed. The latter alerted the ashrama vaashis of his own and others too not to get concerned at the challenging escapades of King Vishvamitra. Maharshi Vasishtha shouted at King Vishvamitra: āśramam cirasamvrddham vad vināśitavān asi, durācāro 'si van mūdha tasmāt tvain na bhavişyasi/ ity uktvā paramakruddho dandam udyamya satvarah, vidhūma iva kālāgnir yamadandam ivāparam/ Vishvamitra! You have destroyed the ashrams in which the greenery, trees with fruits, and the entire peaceful surroundings prevailing for ages and appear to have gone mad not realising the consequences! ity uktvā paramakruddho dandam udyamya satvarah, vidhūma iva kālāgnir yamadandam ivāparam/ So saying angrily, Vasishtha picked up a big stick akin to Yama danda facing the King Vishvamitra.

Sarga Fifty Six

Evam ukto vasisthena viśvāmitro mahābalah, āgneyam astram utksipya tistha tistheti cābravīt/ vasistho bhagavān krodhād idam vacanam abravīt/ ksatrabandho sthito 'smy esa yad balam tad vidarsaya, nāśayāmy eṣa te darpam śastrasya tava gādhija/ kva ca te kṣatriyabalam kva ca brahmabalam mahat, paśya brahmabalam diyyam mama ksatriyapāmsana/ tasyāstram gādhiputrasya ghoram āgneyam uttamam, brahmadandena tac chāntam agner vega ivāmbhasā/ vārunam caiva raudram ca aindram pāśupatam tathā, aiṣīkam cāpi cikṣepa ruṣito gādhinandanaḥ/ mānavam mohanam caiva gāndharvam svāpanam tathā, įrmbhanam mohanam caiva samtāpanavilāpane/ śosanam dāranam caiva vajram astram sudurjayam, brahmapāśam kālapāśam vāruṇam pāśam eva ca/ pinākāstram ca dayitam śuskārdre aśanī tathā, dandāstram atha paiśācam krauñcam astram tathaiva ca/ dharmacakram kālacakram visnucakram tathaiva ca, vāyavyam mathanam caiva astram hayaśiras tathā/ śaktidvayam ca cikṣepa kaṅkālaṁ musalaṁ tathā, vaidyādharaṁ mahāstraṁ ca kālāstram atha dāruṇam/ triśūlam astram ghoram ca kāpālam atha kankaṇam, etāny astrāni cikṣepa sarvāṇi raghunandana/ vasiṣṭhe japatām śresthe tad adbhutam ivābhavat, tāni sarvāni dandena grasate brahmanah sutah/ tesu śāntesu brahmāstram ksiptavān gādhinandanah, tad astram udvatam drstvā devāh sāgnipurogamāl/ devarsavaś ca sambhrāntā gandharvāh samahoragāh, trailokvam āsīt samtrastam brahmāstre samudīrite/ tad apv astram mahāghoram brāhmam brāhmeņa tejasā, vasistho grasate sarvam brahmadaņdena rāghava/ brahmāstram grasamānasya vasisthasya mahātmanah, trailokyamohanam raudram rūpam āsīt sudārunam/ romakūpesu sarvesu vasisthasya mahātmanah, marīcya iva nispetur agner dhūmākulārcisah/ prājvalad brahmadandaś ca vasisthasya karodyatah, vidhūma iva kālāgnir yamadanda ivāparah/ tato 'stuvan munigaṇā vasiṣṭhaṁ japatāṁ varam, amoghaṁ te balaṁ brahmaṁs tejo dhāraya tejasā/ nigṛhītas tvayā brahman viśvāmitro mahātapāḥ, prasīda japatām śrestha lokāḥ santu gatavyathāḥ/ evam ukto mahātejāḥ śamam cakre mahātapāḥ, viśvāmitro 'pi nikrto viniḥśvasyedam abravīt/ dhig balam kṣatriyabalam brahmatejobalam balam, ekena brahmadandena sarvāstrāni hatāni me/ tad etat samaveksyāham prasannendriyamānasah, tapo mahat samāsthāsye yad vai brahmatvakārakam/ Maharshi Shatananda continued his narration abour the rivalry of Visishtha-Vishvamitras to Rama-Lakshmanas. The angry Vasishtha since the devastation of his and other ashramas by the wanton King Vishvamitra shouted asserting: kva ca te ksatriyabalam kva ca brahmabalam mahat, paśya

brahmabalam divyam mama ksatriyapāmsana/ Kshatriyakula kalangka Vishvamitra! Where is your kshaatra bala or the might of Kshatriyas and what is Brahma bala or the superiotity of braahmana shakti! As Vishvamitra despatched Agneyastra, Vasishtha faced it with Brahmastra wich instantly got dismissed with heavy water falls. Then in retalliation, the King rained a series of astras viz. Maanava-Mohana-Gandharva-Svaapana-Jrumbhana-Maadana- Santaapana-Vilaapana- Shoshana-Vidaarana- Vajraastra-Brahma paasha- Kaala paasha- Vaaruna paasha- Pinaakaastra-ashani- Dandaastra-Paishaachaastra-Krounchaastra-Dharma chakra-Vishnu chakra-Vaayavyaastra- Manthanaastra- Hayashira- Dvi Shakti-Kankaala- Bhayankara Trishulaastra-Kaapaalaastra- and Kankanaashtra. As all these astras failed to stoop Vasishtha, Vishvamitra finally resorted to Brahmastra. On visioning the Brahmastra, Deva-Devarshi-Gandharva- Maha Naagas were stunned and trilokas got rattled. Tad apy astram mahāghoram brāhmam brāhmena tejasā, vasistho grasate sarvam brahmadandena rāghava/ Maharshi Shataananad at this juncture adressed Shri Rama: as Brahmastra was released by King Vishvamitra thus, by the vitrue of Maharshi's own excellence of Brahma Teja, his hand stick terminated and cooled down the Brahmastra released by King Vishvamitra! brahmāstram grasamānasya vasisthasya mahātmanah, trailokvamohanam raudram rūpam āsīt sudārunam/ romakūpesu sarvesu vasisthasva mahātmanah, marīcya iva nispetur agner dhūmākulārciṣaḥ/ prājvalad brahmadaṇḍaś ca vasiṣṭhasya karodyataḥ, vidhūma iva kālāgnir yamadaṇḍa ivāparaḥ/ As the Brahmastra got cooled down, the face and profile assumed such roudra swarupa that trilokas were flustered and shocked with fear as though three were fiery blasts emerged from the skin pores of his body. As he raised his handstick he looked that he was carrying 'yama danda' or 'brahma danda' with the fierce 'Kaalaagni'. All the groups of Maharshis raised their arms with raised heads in admiration shouting slogans that brahmatva be vindicated vis a vis kshatratva! Then King Vishvamitra finally decided to attain 'braahmanatva' by self control and 'tapasya' and became a Maharshi.

Sarga Fifty Seven

Tatah samtaptahrdayah smaran nigraham ātmanah, vinihśvasya vinihśvasya krtavairo mahātmanā/ sa daksinām diśam gatvā mahisvā saha rāghava, tatāpa paramam ghoram viśvāmitro mahātapāh, phalamūlāśano dāntaś cacāra paramam tapaḥ/ athāsya jajñire putrāḥ satyadharmaparāyaṇāḥ, havispando madhuspando drdhanetro mahārathah/ pūrne varsasahasre tu brahmā lokapitāmahah, abravīn madhuram vākyam viśvāmitram tapodhanam/ jitā rājarsilokās te tapasā kuśikātmaja, anena tapasā tvām hi rājarsir iti vidmahe/ evam uktvā mahātejā jagāma saha daivataih, trivistapam brahmalokam lokānām parameśvarah/viśvāmitro 'pi tac chrutvā hriyā kim cid avānmukhah, duhkhena mahatāvistah samanyur idam abravīt/ tapaś ca sumahat taptam rājarsir iti mām viduh, devāh sarsiganāh sarve nāsti manye tapaḥphalam/ evam niścitya manasā bhūya eva mahātapāḥ, tapaś cacāra kākutstha paramam paramātmavān/ etasminn eva kāle tu satyavādī jitendriyaḥ, triśankur iti vikhyāta ikṣvāku kulanandanah/ tasya buddhih samutpannā vajeyam iti rāghava, gacchevam svaśarīrena devānām paramām gatim/ sa vasistham samāhūva kathayām āsa cintitam, aśakyam iti cāpy ukto vasisthena mahātmanā/ pratyākhyāto vasiṣṭhena sa yayau dakṣiṇāṁ diśam, vasiṣṭhā dīrgha tapasas tapo yatra hi tepire/ triśankuh sumahātejāh śatam paramabhāsvaram, vasisthaputrān dadrśe tapyamānān yaśasvinah/ so 'bhigamya mahātmānah sarvān eva guroh sutān,abhivādyānupūrvyena hriyā kim cid avānmukhah, abravīt sumahātejāh sarvān eva krtāñjalih/ śaranam vah prapadye 'ham śaranyāñ śaranāgatah, pratyākhyāto 'smi bhadram vo vasisthena mahātmanā/ yastukāmo mahāyajñam tad anujñātum arthatha, guruputrān aham sarvān namaskrtya prasādaye/ sirasā praņato yāce brāhmaṇāms tapasi sthitān, te mām bhavantah siddhyartham yājayantu samāhitāh, saśarīro yathāham hi devalokam avāpnuyām/ pratyākhyāto vasiṣṭhena gatim anyām tapodhanāh, guruputrān rte sarvān nāham paśyāmi kām cana/ iksvākūnām hi sarvesām purodhāh paramā gatih, tasmād anantaram sarve bhavanto daivatam mama/ Maharshi Shatananda continued his narration to Shri Rama and Lakhsmana describing Brahmarshi Vishvamitra's ultimate decision to attain 'brahmanatva' from his erstwhile traits of 'kshatriyatva'. He had made soul searching for long, left the kingdom for good, moved forward with his wife moved south of

Bharata, controlled the shad vargas of desire, anger, narrow mindedness, arrogance, infatuation and selfishness and adopted a truthful family life and was blessed with four sons of 'dharmatya'. His modest life, regular agni karmas, restrained food intake, down to earth living manner and spotless peaceful tapsya regularly attracted Brahma especially the sea change in his attitude and appeared in his vision to state: 'Kushakanandana! Your transformation as of now secures the status of a 'Rajarshi' already lest the univesre might not feel that your transformation had not been well recognised despite consistent tapsya! ' Thus having been blessed by Brahma earnestly, Vishvamitra has implicitly attained the universal acclamation of Brahmarshi! This being so, Maharshi Shatananda addressed Rama as follows: 'It was at that time, there was an Ikshvaku Vamsheeya King of a truthful practioner of Kshatra Dharma of 'Shishta Rakshana and Dushta shikshana' named Trishanku. The King once enquired of Maharshi Vasishtha the traditional 'asthaana purohita' of Ikshvaaku Royalties: tasya buddhih samutpannā yajeyam iti rāghava, gaccheyam svaśarīrena devānām paramām gatim/ sa vasistham samāhūya kathayām āsa cintitam, aśakyam iti cāpy ukto vasisthena mahātmanā/ Raghava! Raja Trishanku asked Vasishtha whether he could possibly perform such yagina that could facilitate him to secure swarga by his own mortal body! Vasishtha gave a curt reply that it was impossible to do so and walked off southward of Bharata in disgust as the King could have such absurd and fanciful ideas of ambition.!The King got humiliated with the anger of Vasishtha at his seemingly fanciful but genuine desire. Then it occurred to the King that perhaps Vasishtha Kumaras who were engrossed in long tapsya not far off might help fulfill his wish. The King then prostrated before the Kumaras: śaranam vah prapadye 'ham śaranyāñ śaranāgatah, pratyākhyāto 'smi bhadram vo vasiṣṭhena mahātmanā/ yaṣṭukāmo mahāyajñam tad anujñātum arthatha,/ Guru Putras! May I seek your help as your father Maharshi Vasishtha has not agreed to the performance of one vagina kaarya; may I request you to take up the same as it is my duty now to approach the Guru Putras indeed!

Sarga Fifty Eight

Tatas triśankor vacanam śrutvā krodhasamanvitam, rṣiputraśatam rāma rājānam idam abravīt/ pratyākhyāto 'si durbuddhe guruṇā satyavādinā, tam katham samatikramya śākhāntaram upeyivān/ iksvākūnām hi sarvesām purodhāh paramā gatih, na cātikramitum śakvam vacanam satvavādinah/ aśakvam iti covāca vasistho bhagavān rsih,tam vavam vai samāhartum kratum śaktāh katham tava/ balistvam naraśrestha gamyatām svapuram punaḥ, yājane bhagavāñ śaktas trailokyasyāpi pārthiva/ teṣām tadvacanam śrutyā krodhaparyākulāksaram, sa rājā punar evaitān idam vacanam abravīt/ pratyākhyāto 'smi gurunā guruputrais tathaiva ca, anyām gatim gamisyāmi svasti vo 'stu tapodhanāh/ rsiputrās tu tac chrutvā vākyam ghorābhisamhitam, sepuh paramasamkruddhās candālatvam gamisyasi, evam uktvā mahātmāno vivišus te svam āśramam/ atha rātryām vyatītāyām rājā candālatām gatah, nīlavastradharo nīlah paruso dhvastamūrdhajah, cityamālyānulepas ca āyasābharaņo 'bhavat/ tam dṛṣṭvā mantriṇah sarve tyaktvā caṇḍālarūpiṇam, prādravan sahitā rāma paurā ye 'syānugāminah/ eko hi rājā kākutstha jagāma paramātmavān, dahyamāno divārātram viśvāmitram tapodhanam/ viśvāmitras tu tam drstvā rājānam viphalīkrtam, candālarūpinam rāma munih kārunvam āgatah/ kārunvāt sa mahātejā vākvam parama dhārmikaḥ, idam jagāda bhadram te rājānam ghoradarśanam/ kim āgamanakāryam te rājaputra mahābala, ayodhyādhipate vīra śāpāc caṇḍālatām gataḥ/ atha tad vākyam ākarṇya rājā candālatām gatah, abravīt prāñjalir vākyam vākyajño vākyakovidam/ pratyākhyāto 'smi gurunā guruputrais tathaiva ca, anavāpyaiva tam kāmam mayā prāpto viparyayah/ saśarīro divam yāyām iti me saumyadarśanam, mayā cestam kratuśatam tac ca nāvāpyate phalam/anrtam nokta pūrvam me na ca vakşye kadā cana, krechreşv api gatah saumya kşatradharmena te sape/ yajñair bahuvidhair iştam prajā dharmena pālitāḥ, guravaś ca mahātmānaḥ śīlavṛttena toṣitāḥ/ dharme prayatamānasya yajñam cāhartum icchatah, paritoṣam na gacchanti guravo munipumgava/ daivam eva param manye pauruṣam tu nirarthakam, daivenākramyate sarvam daivam hi paramā gatiļi/ tasya me paramārtasya prasādam abhikānksatah, kartum arhasi bhadram te daivopahatakarmanah/ nānyām gatim gamisyāmi nānyah śaranam asti me, daivam purusakārena nivartavitum arhasi/

Maharshi Shataananda continued the narration to Rama Lakshmanas about Vasishtha's refusal to perform such yagna to enable King Trishanku to reach swarga in mortal form and the King's approach to

Vasishtha kumaras to take up the yagna. Vasishtha Kumaras politely declined stating that once Vasishtha Maharshi refuses then his capability should not be discounted and they too could not take up the yagina. Then the King became insistent and rather arrogantly replied: Anyaam gatim gamishyaami swastivestu tapodhanaah/ Vasishtha Maharshi had not agreed and you as his worthy sons too are nor obliging; 'then I have no other recourse but to look for another purohita then!' rsiputrās tu tac chrutvā vākvam ghorābhisamhitam, śepuḥ paramasamkruddhāś caṇḍālatvam gamiṣyasi, evam uktvā mahātmāno viviśus te svam āśramam/ atha rātryām vyatītāyām rājā caṇḍālatām gataḥ, nīlavastradharo nīlaḥ paruṣo dhyastamūrdhajah, cityamālyānulepaś ca āyasābharano 'bhayat/ As King Trishanku had thus replied to Vashishtha Kumaras, the latter could not control their anger and cursed the King to turn into a 'chandala' the worst of species far be below the human level and left away. Then as a chandala, his skin turned blue, his body and body parts turned blue, and even his clothes turned iron blue too. As the King thus got affected by his arrogance, his ministers, courtiers, and the public were frightened and none dared to go near him. In that miserable state of chandalatva, the King was kept aloof by the society for days and nights in disgusting solitude and finally decided to offer himself to flames and as an ultimate resort approached Maharshi Vishvamitra. The Maharshi saw the King Trishanku on the miserable form of chandala and felt melted in his heart; the King narrated the happenings of Visishtha and his sons were responsible for that state of his; Trishanku further repentently said albeit assertingly: saśarīro divam yāyām iti me saumyadarśanam, mayā cestam kratuśatam tac ca nāvāpyate phalam/ Muneeshyara! My life long ambition of reaching heaven with my mortal body to swarga has been not only shattered but turned me to this form of a chandala! I had taken the vow of kshatriya dharma by undergoing various critical situations; I had never in my life lied and openly conveyed my life ambition with frankness publicly and shall continue to do so even now in this critical state; I have had successfully performed several yagina karyas and pleased my Gurus and Devas too consistently and all my efforts lifelong had been for the sake of dharma and service to my public. But now I realise that Daivatva is omnipotent and my fate is inevitable; you are now my singular hope in my life as you could only be the instrument for reviving my life ambition. Tasya me paramārtasya prasādam abhikānksatah, kartum arhasi bhadram te daivopahata -karmanah/ nānyām gatim gamiṣyāmi nānyaḥ śaraṇam asti me, daivam puruṣakāreṇa nivartayitum arhasi/ Maha Muni! Having lost all of my strong belief in being frank all along my life, now I have the conviction to reach my ambition with your singular support to reverse my misfotunes to reality!

Sarga Fifty Nine

Uktavākyam tu rājānam kṛpayā kuśikātmajah, abravīn madhuram vākyam sākṣāc caṇḍālarūpiṇam/ ikṣvāko svāgatam vatsa jānāmi tvām sudhārmikam, śaraṇam te bhaviṣyāmi mā bhaiṣīr nṛpapumgava/ aham āmantraye sarvān maharṣīn puṇyakarmaṇaḥ, yajñasāhyakarān rājams tato yakṣyasi nirvrtah/ guruśāpakrtam rūpam vad idam tvavi vartate, anena saha rūpena saśarīro gamisvasi/ hastaprāptam aham manye syargam taya nareśyara, yas tyam kauśikam āgamya śaranyam śaranam gatah/ eyam uktvā mahātejāh putrān paramadhārmikān, vyādideśa mahāprājñān yajñasambhārakāraṇāt/ sarvāñ śisyān samāhūya vākyam etad uvāca ha, sarvān rsivarān vatsā ānayadhvam mamājñayā, saśisyān suhrdaś caiva sartvijah subahuśrutān/ yad anyo vacanam brūyān madvākyabalacoditah, tat sarvam akhilenoktam mamākhyeyam anādrtam/ tasya tadvacanam śrutvā diśo jagmus tadājñayā, ājagmur atha deśebhyah sarvebhyo brahmavādinah/ te ca śisyāh samāgamya munim įvalitatejasam, ūcuś ca vacanam sarve sarveşām brahmavādinām/ śrutvā te vacanam sarve samāyānti dvijātayaḥ,sarvadeśeṣu cāgacchan varjayitvā mahodayam/ vāsiṣṭhaṁ tac chataṁ sarvaṁ krodhaparyākulākṣaram, yad āha vacanaṁ sarvam śrnu tvam munipumgava/ kṣatriyo yājako yasya caṇḍālasya viśeṣataḥ, katham sadasi bhoktāro havis tasva surarsavah/ brāhmanā vā mahātmāno bhuktvā candālabhojanam, katham svargam gamisyanti viśvāmitrena pālitāh/ etad vacanam naisthuryam ūcuh samraktalocanāh, vāsisthā muniśārdūla sarve te samahodayāh/ teṣām tadvacanam śrutvā sarveṣām munipumgavaḥ, krodhasamraktanayanah sarosam idam abravīt/ yad dūsayanty adustam mām tapa ugram samāsthitam,

bhasmībhūtā durātmāno bhaviṣyanti na saṃśayaḥ/ adya te kālapāśena nītā vaivasvatakṣayam, saptajātiśatāny eva mṛtapāḥ santu sarvaśaḥ/ śvamāmsaniyatāhārā muṣṭikā nāma nirghṛṇāḥ, vikṛtāś ca virūpāś ca lokān anucarantv imān/ mahodayaś ca durbuddhir mām adūṣyam hy adūṣayat,dūṣiṭaḥ sarvalokeṣu niṣādatvam gamiṣyati/ prāṇātipātanirato niranukrośatām gataḥ, dīrghakālam mama krodhād durgatim vartayiṣyati/ etāvad uktvā vacanam viśvāmitro mahātapāḥ, virarāma mahātejā ṛṣimadhye mahāmuniḥ/

Shatananda Maharshi addressing Rama Lakshmanas continued that Vishvamitra took pity on the King Trishanku in the form of chandala and gave an assurance that he should most certainly reach swarga with his mortal body. Then he instructed his disciples to collect and arrange for the required material for yagina kaarya. He further asked them to invite co-brahmanas to join the yagina including Vasishtha kumaras who heckled Trishanku and cursed him to become a chandala. Vishvamitra shisyaas likewise invited all, but Vasishtha Sishyaas were reported to have stated angrily as follows: kṣatriyo yājako yasya candālasya viśesatah, katham sadasi bhoktāro havis tasya surarşayah/ brāhmaṇā vā mahātmāno bhuktvā candālabhojanam, katham svargam gamisvanti viśvāmitrena pālitāh/ 'A Chandala desires to perform the yagina and a Kshatriya would be the Aacharya. In such yagina, how could pure brahmanas consume the 'havishaanna'! Be that as it may, how indeed a kshatriya turned chandala be despatched to swarga by another kshatriya turned brahmana, that too with the chandaala's mortal body'!' Having heard this insinuating remarks of Vasishtha Kumaras, Vishvamitra fumed like fire and declared: yad dūsayanty aduştam mām tapa ugram samāsthitam, bhasmībhūtā durātmāno bhavişyanti na samśayah/ I am right now in severe tapasya and am expected to be peaceful without anger and such mental aberrations; yet I am constrained to say that whosoever evil minded invitees to my yagnja talked disparagingly about me and the yagina being proposed be surely be converted as heaps of human ash sooner or later; further in their following births, they should be born as chandalas and roam around begging with frightening forms. Having stated thus Vishvamitra could state nothing more and kept quiet!

Sarga Sixty

Tapobalahatān kṛtvā vāsiṣṭhān samahodayān, ṛṣimadhye mahātejā viśvāmitro 'bhyabhāṣata/ ayam iksvākudāyādas trišankur iti viśrutah, dharmisthaś ca vadānyaś ca mām caiva śaranam gatah/ svenānena śarīreņa devalokajigīṣayāa, yathāyam svaśarīreņa devalokam gamiṣyati, tathā pravartyatām yajño bhavadbhiś ca mayā saha/ viśvāmitravacah śrutvā sarva eva maharsayah, ūcuh sametya sahitā dharmajñā dharmasamhitam/ ayam kuśikadāyādo munih paramakopanah, yad āha vacanam samyag etat kāryam na samsayah/ agnikalpo hi bhagavāñ sāpam dāsyati rositah, tasmāt pravartyatām yajñah saśarīro yathā divam, gacched ikṣvākudāyādo viśvāmitrasya tejasā/ tataḥ pravartyatām yajñah sarve samadhitisthate, evam uktvā maharşayah samjahrus tāh kriyās tadā/ yājakāś ca mahātejā viśvāmitro 'bhayat kratau, rtvijaś cānupūryyena mantrayan mantrakovidāh, cakruh sarvāni karmāni yathākalpam vathāvidhi/ tatah kālena mahatā viśvāmitro mahātapāh, cakārāvāhanam tatra bhāgārtham sarvadevatāḥ, nāhyāgamams tadāhūtā bhāgārtham sarvadevatāḥ/ tataḥ krodhasamāviṣṭo viśvamitro mahāmunih, sruvam udyamya sakrodhas triśankum idam abravīt/ paśya me tapaso vīryam svārjitasya nareśvara, esa tvām svaśarīrena nayāmi svargam ojasā/ dusprāpam svaśarīrena divam gaccha narādhipa, svārjitam kim cid apv asti mayā hi tapasah phalam, rājams tvam tejasā tasva saśarīro divam vraja/ uktavākye munau tasmin saśarīro nareśvaraḥ, divam jagāma kākutstha munīnām paśyatām tadā/ devalokagatam drstvā trišankum pākašāsanah, saha sarvaih suragaņair idam vacanam abravīt/ trišanko gaccha bhūyas tvam nāsi svargakṛtālayaḥ, guruśāpahato mūdha pata bhūmim avākśirāh/ evam ukto mahendrena triśankur apatat punaḥ, vikrośamānas trāhīti viśvāmitram tapodhanam/ tac chrutvā vacanam tasya krośamānasya kauśikah, rosam āhārayat tīvram tistha tistheti cābravīt/ rsimadhye sa tejasvī prajāpatir ivāparah, srjan daksinamārgasthān saptarsīn aparān punah, naksatramālām aparām asrjat krodhamūrchitah, dakṣiṇām diśam āsthāya munimadhye mahāyaśāh/ sṛṣṭvā nakṣatravamśam ca krodhena kalusīkrtah, anvam indram karisvāmi loko vā svād anindrakah, daivatāny api sa krodhāt

sraṣṭum samupacakrame/ tataḥ paramasambhrāntāḥ sarṣisamghāḥ surarṣabhāḥ, viśvāmitram mahātmānam ūcuḥ sānunayam vacaḥ/ ayam rājā mahābhāga guruśāpaparikṣataḥ, saśarīro divam yātum nārhaty eva tapodhana/ teṣām tadvacanam śrutvā devānām munipumgavaḥ, abravīt sumahad vākyam kauśikaḥ sarvadevatāḥ/ saśarīrasya bhadram vas triśankor asya bhūpateḥ, ārohaṇam pratijñāya nānrtam kartum utsahe/ Swargostu sahareerasya trishankorasya shaashvatah, nakshatraani cha sarvaani maamakaani dhruvaanyatha/ Yaavallokaa dharishyanti tishthanvetaani sarvashah, yat kritaani Suraah sarve tadanugjnaatumarhatha/ Evamuktaah Suraah sarve pratyuchurmunipungavam, evam bhavatu bhadram te tishthanvetaani sarvashah/ gagane tāny anekāni vaiśvānarapathād bahih, nakṣatrāṇi muniśreṣṭha teṣu jyotiḥṣu jājvalan, avākśirās triśankuś ca tiṣṭhatv amarasamnibhaḥ/ viśvāmitras tu dharmātmā sarvadevair abhiṣṭutaḥ, ṛṣibhiś ca mahātejā bāḍham ity āha devatāḥ/ tato devā mahātmāno munayaś ca tapodhanāḥ, jagmur yathāgatam sarve yajñasyānte narottama/

Shatananda Muni continued his narration to Rama Lakshmanas about the subdued anger against Vasishtha Kumaras and addressed on his introductory speech to the Sages who arrived in response to his yaginya karya with the express objective of despatching Ikshvaku Raja Trishanku to swarga with the latter's mortal body. Then the Munis at the conference grouped together that Maharshi Vishvamitra was a known and learned Sage but a highly volatile and angry person and hence what ever he directed by dutifully executed without doubls and hesitations. Thereafter the yagna commenced and Vishvamitra was the 'Atharvyu' the pricipal initiator-conductor of the yagina. As the 'havishaanna' was offered to respective Devatas, none of the Devas turned up to accept. Then the fuming Vishvamitra yelled in great anger: paśya me tapaso vīryam svārjitasya nareśvara, eṣa tvām svaśarīreṇa nayāmi svargam ojasā/ dusprāpam svasarīreņa divam gaccha narādhipa, svārjitam kim cid apy asti mayā hi tapasaḥ phalam, rājams tvam tejasā tasva saśarīro divam vraja/ Nareshvara Trishanku! Now you must vision the mighty outcome of my life long tapasya and now get ready to leave for swarga with your mortal body! Then Shatananda exclaimed to Rama Lakshmanas that King Trishanku had actually reached swarga with his mortal body! devalokagatam drstvā triśankum pākaśāsanah,saha sarvaih suraganair idam vacanam abravīt/ triśanko gaccha bhūyas tvam nāsi svargakṛtālayah, guruśāpahato mūḍha pata bhūmim avāksirāh/ evam ukto mahendrena trisankur apatat punah, vikrosamānas trāhīti visvāmitram tapodhanam/ tac chrutvā vacanam tasva krośamānasva kauśikah, rosam āhāravat tīvram tistha tistheti cābravīt/ As Trishanku had literally reached swarga, he visioned Mahendra seated along with various Devatas. Indra got shocked and furious shouting that there would never ever be a place in swarga and kicked him down. Trishanku yelled 'traahi traahi' in utter desperation while rapidly slipping down the thick clouds. Vishvamitra shouted at Trishanku with hysterics and commanded him to stay pur right there. The Vishvamitra looked up at the Rishimandala on the high skies and materialised Sapta Rishis and brand new nakshatras and declared angrily: Anyamindram karishyaami loko vaayasyaadanindrakah, daivataanyami sa krodhaat srashtam samupachakrame/ I will rather create another Indra or a new swarga loka without Indra! So saying with assertion Vishmamitra manifested fresh devataas! As the Maha Muni so decided: down on earth, samasta deva-asura-rishi groups made an appeal politely: avam rājā mahābhāga guruśāpapariksatah, saśarīro divam vātum nārhatv eva tapodhana/ Maharshi Vishwamitra! King Trishanku was cursed by Guru Putras to assume 'chandalatva' and as such not qualified to attain swarga as a mortal. Vishvamitra retalliated to say that his statements and decisions should not be falsified ever! Therefore: Maha Raja Trishanku should hereafter enjoy the pleasures of swarga loka for ever; I have already manifested fresh nakshatra mandali for ever till pralaya; like wise the totality of divine material elsewhere too would exist in tact. May this parallel arrangement be in position without disturbance.!' The Munis collected at the Visvhamitra Yagina was greatly surprised at the unforgettable happenings and truly admired the outstanding ability in creating a new swarga itself on the mid skies!

<u>Vishleshana on Vishvamitra- Trishankhu swarga: Skanda Purana's Nagara Khanda describes a modified version:</u>

King Trishanku of Surya Vamsa made an odd request to the his Guru Sage Vasishtha that he would like to go to Swarga with his mortal body and that such a Yagna be performed enabling him to do

so. Vasishtha ridiculed the idea and the King asked the Sage's sons to find a way out, lest he might abandon Vasishtha as his Guru; the infuriated sons cursed the King to turn out to be a 'chandala' of low caste. The frustrated Trishankhu in the form of a chandala left the Kingdom making way for his son Harischandra as the King and wandered in forests where he met Sage Viswamitra who took up the issue as a challenge, especially because he was a traditional competitor and enemy of Vasishtha. The Sage asked that Trishanku should first get rid of the form of a chandal and desired him to perform a Holy Pilgrimage. As both of them were set on visiting Tirthas, they reached Arbudachal (Abu) to visit 'Achalaswar' and met Markandeya who advised them to take a trip to Haatakeswar and take bath in the Patala Ganga there. To their great surprise, the Snaan and worship at that place did the miracle and Trishanku got rid of the curse of his becoming a chandala. Even as Trishanku was preparing to perform a Grand Yagna, the Sage approached Lord Brahma to be the Chief Guest who refused saying that it was against the realm of possibility that a human in his form could reach Swarga. This nodoubt frustrated Trishanku as also Viswamitra but the latter never gave up the effort and did harsh Tapasya to Bhagavan Siva who out of generosity granted the boon of ability to duplicate the task of Brahma's Creation; the Sage succeeded in creating another Sun, Moon, Sky, Air, Water etc. Indeed the parallel Srishti panicked Brahma and the compromise reached was that if Brahma took Trishanku to Swarga in the latter's mortal body; Viswamitra would refrain from making a parallel creation.

Sarga Sixty One

Viśvāmitro mahātmātha prasthitān prekṣya tān ṛṣīn,abravīn naraśārdūla sarvāms tān vanavāsinah/ mahāvighnah pravṛtto 'yam dakṣiṇām āsthito diśam, diśam anyām prapatsyāmas tatra tapsyāmahe tapah/paścimāyām viśālāyām puskaresu mahātmanah, sukham tapaś carisyāmah param tad dhi tapovanam/ evam uktvā mahātejāh puskaresu mahāmunih, tapa ugram durādharsam tepe mūlaphalāśa naḥ/ etasminn eva kāle tu ayodhyādhipatir nṛpaḥ, ambarīṣa iti khyāto yaṣṭum samupacakrame/ tasya vai vajamānasya paśum indro jahāra ha, pranaste tu paśau vipro rājānam idam abravīt/ paśur adya hrto rājan pranastas tava durnayāt, araksitāram rājānam ghnanti dosā nareśvara/ prāyaścittam mahad dhy etan naram vā puruṣarṣabha, ānayasva paśum śīghram yāvat karma pravartate/ upādhyāya vacaḥ śrutvā sa rājā purusarsabha, anvivesa mahābuddhih paśum gobhih sahasraśah/ deśāñ janapadāms tāms tān nagarāṇi vanāni ca, āśramāṇi ca puṇyāni mārgamāṇo mahīpatiḥ/ sa putrasahitam tāta sabhāryam raghunandana,bhṛgutunde samāsīnam ṛcīkam samdadarśa ha/ tam uvāca mahātejāḥ praṇamyābhi prasādya ca, brahmarşim tapasā dīptam rājarşir amitaprabhah, prstvā sarvatra kuśalam rcīkam tam idam vacah/ gavām satasahasrena vikrinīse sutam yadi, pasor arthe mahābhāga kṛtakṛtyo 'smi bhārgava' sarve parisṛtā deśā yajñiyam na labhe paśum, dātum arhasi mūlyena sutam ekam ito mama/evam ukto mahātejā rcīkas tv abravīd vacaḥ, nāham jyeṣṭham naraśreṣṭham vikrīṇīyām katham cana/ rcīkasya vacaḥ śrutvā teṣām mātā mahātmanām, uvāca naraśārdūlam ambarīṣam tapasvin/ mamāpi davitam viddhi kanistham sunakam nrpa, tasmaad kaneeyasam putram na daasye taya paarthiyaa/ prāvena hi naraśrestha jyesthāh pitrsu vallabhāh, mātrnām ca kanīyāmsas tasmād rakse kanīyasam/ uktavākye munau tasmin munipatnyām tathaiva ca, śunahśepah svayam rāma madhyamo vākyam abravīt/ pitā jyestham avikreyam mātā cāha kanīyasam, vikrītam madhyamam manye rājan putram nayasva mām/ gavām śatasahasreṇa śunaḥśepam nareśvaraḥ, grħītvā paramaprīto jagāma raghunandana/ ambarīṣas tu rājarṣī ratham āropya satvaraḥ, śunaḥśepam mahātejā jagāmāśu mahāyaśāh/ Maharshi Shataanada continued addressing Shri Rama that as Vishvamitra created a new swarga, the sages attending the Yagna were alerted by Vishvamitra not to disperse in the southern direction as that might not be auspicious but any other direction might be preferable. In fact, the western direction should be good as there were three Pushkaras of Brahma Deva and those would be truly fruitful and well suited for tapsya. As the sages as per Vishvamitra's advice proceeded westward and found that King Ambarisha

of Ikshvaaku Vamsha was organasing a maha yaginya at Pushkara. At this Yagina, Indra stole away the 'Yagina Pashu'. The Purohita raised an alarm to the King that the fact of the Yagina Pashu was certainly not a good augury for the Yagina and hence there ciuld be only two alternatives, either to some how recover and restore the yagina pashu within a reasonable week's time or else to secure a 'Nara Pashu' or a Sacrificial Human Being, for the sin of which there could be a 'praayaschitta' or atonement! Then King Ambarisha declared an offer of thousand cows to secure a 'nara pashu'. By advertising this offer, both the King accompanied by his queen visited in several town ships and villages of his and neighbouring kingdoms too. In the process, they reached the 'ashram' of MuniRucheeka. The latter having heard the predicament of the Rajarshi King Ambarisha suggested that a nara pashu might be possible to be secured if the offer could be for a lakh of cows in which case the Maharshi could perhaps spare one his three sons; the King and the Queen jumped with joy and readily agreed. Then Muni Rucheeka declared: nāham jyestham naraśrestham vikrīnīyām katham cana/ Raja! We have three sons, but since the eldest being the 'vamshoddhaaraka' I am certainly not agreeble to be spared. Then the wife of the Muni assreted: prāyena hi naraśrestha jyesthāh pitrsu vallabhāh, mātrnām ca kanīyāmsas tasmād rakse kanīyasam/ Oh King! Just as the father refuses to spare the eldest, I am of the firm resolve never to spare my youngest son in any case! Then the middle son stated: pitā jyeṣṭham avikreyam mātā cāha kanīyasam, vikrītam madhyamam manye rājan putram nayasva mām/ My father could not spare the eldest son and my mother refuses to sell off the youngest; hence you may take me named the unfortunate Shunashepa away as the 'Nara Pashu'! Ambarisha readily enhanced the emolument several fold and took away greatly relieved!

<u>Vishleshana on Pushkara Tirtha</u>(Rajasthan):Kurma Maha Purana in its 24th chapter on Tirtha Mahatmya narrates: Tirtham Tri- Loka vikhyatam Brahmaanah Parameshthinah, Pushkaram Sarva paapaghnam mritaanaam Brahma lokadam/ Manasaa sasmared yastu Pushkaram vai dwijottamah, Puyare paatakaih sarvaih Shakrena saha modate/ Tatra Devaah sugandharvaah sayakshoragaa raakshasaah, Upaasate siddbha sankhaa Brahmaanam Padma sambhavam/ Tatra snaatvaa bhavecchudro brahmaanam parameshthinam, Pujayitwaa dwijayaraan Brahmaanam samprapashyati/ Tatraabhigamya Devesham Puruhutam -anininditam, Sarupo jaayate martyah sarvaan kaamaanavaapnuyaat/ (Parameshthi Brahma's Pushkara named Tirtha is popular all over the Tri-Lokas, as that outstanding Tirtha is at once sin destroying and to those who die there bestows Brahma Loka. Those Dwijottamas sincerely memorise the name of Pushkar are blessed with instant relief of blemishes and enjoy celestial happiness along with Indra the King of Devas. This Pushkar Tirtha is such as worshipped by Gandharva-Yaksha- Naaga-Rakshasa-Siddha companies worship the Lotus seated Brahma directly and to the distinguished Brahmanas who sincerely venerate him so in his presence with Bahyaantara Shuchi or Internal and External cleanliness, 'Brahma Saakshatkaara' does happen in reality. Having undertaken a sincere and faithful Yatra to this Pushkara and secure the celestial vision of blemishless Indra too, then fulfillment of one's desires and aspirations is very easy to obtain indeed.)

Both Padma Maha Purana and Maha Bharata asserted: Dushkaram Pushkaram gantum Pushkare tapah, Dushkaram Pushkare daanam vastum chaiva sudushkaram/ Treeni shringaani shubhraani treeniprasavanaani cha, Pushkaraanyaadi siddhhaani na vidyastatra kaaranam/ (Pushkar Yatra is indeed troublesome and is available by one's own good luck; Residing-giving away daana-performing meditation etc. at Pushkar too are rather difficult to accomplish. Yet visit to Pushkar the enlightening 'Tirtha Traya' where Sarasvati River too flows is indeed a Siddha Maha Tirtha for reasons yet unknown) Yathaa Suraanaam sarveshaamaadistu Purushottamah, Tathaiva Pushkaram Raajastirthaanaamaadir - upyate/ Yastu Varsha shatam Purnamaadagnihotramupaacharet, Kartikaam vaa vasedekaam Pushkare samameva tat/ (Just as among Devas Purushottama Vasudeva is the most superior, Pushkara is the unique among all theTirthas.[Pushkar, Kurukshetra, Gaya,Ganga, Prabhasa are the Pancha Titrhas and Manasarovara in Tibet, Pushkar, Bindu Sarovara in Siddhapur, Narayana Sarovar in Kutch Region and Pampa sarovara near Hospet are the Pancha Sarovaras]. The outcome of hundred years of Agnihotra Upasna on the one hand and residing and worshipping at Pushkara Tirtha on a Kartika Purnima night are near equivalent.) Padma Purana explains the legendary background of the Pushkara Tirtha: At very beginning of 'Vishwa Srishti'of Universal Creation, there was a Rakshasa named Vajra naabha who was

engaged in the most cruel and wreckless activities; Brahma meanwhile emerged from the Naabhi (Navel) of Vishnu and the latter's first wish was to perform Yagna and landed at Pushkar even with a part of the stem of the Padma / Lotus with which he killed Vajra naabha. As the lotus was discarded by him, there got a Lake manifested on the banks of which Brahma performed the first ever Yagnya. He carved out aYagna Vedi in the vacant plot between three Holy Areas viz. Sarasvati in the west, Chandra nadi in the North and Nandana sthaan in the East and the region in between as the Yagna Vedi; he created three Pushkar Tirthas viz. Jyeshtha-Madhyama-Kanishtha. All the Maharshis who made their Ashrams and Devas arrived and Bhagavan Shankar as Kapaladhari too arrived. But Devi Savitri delayed and since the Muhurta to commence the Yagna was round the corner, Brahma created Devi Gayatri and married her as meawhile on noticing Gayatri left in an angry huff to a nearby mountain and performed another Yagna on the mountain top. It was stated that Lord Varaaha got manifested from Brahma's nostril top. Thus, at the present Pushkar Tirtha, besides Brahma, Gayatri, Varaha Bhagavan, Kapaleshwara Shiva, Savitri on the Mountain top, and Agastya Maharshi continue to stay at Pushkar Tirtha till date. Pushkar's cynosure is the Brahma Temple, not far from Pushkar Tirtha, and Brahma's right side is Savitri Mandir and to the left is the Gayatri Mandir; besides the Chaturmukha Brahma are the Idols of Sanakaadi Munis; in a small Mandir is Narada and in another small Mandir are the idols of Kubera seated on elephant. Another Mandir of Pushkar is dedicated to Badari Narayana, but an ancient Varaha Mandir was destroyed and since got re-built. Yet another Mandir of the Tirtha is that of Atmeshwar Maha deva, also called Kapaleshwar or Atapateshwara Maha deva. Near by Pushkar there is a Shuddha vaapi named Gaya Kund where Pitru shraddas are performed. There is a Savitri Devi Mandir on a nearby mountain top. Yet on another hill top is the famed Gayatri Mandir reckoned as one of the Shakti Peethas where Devi Sati's Manibandha or wrist ornament fell. In Pushkar Tirtha, there is also 'Yagna Parvata' where Brahma performed his illustrious Yagna; there is also the Agastya Ashram and Agastya Tirtha; it is stated that besides Pushkara Snaan, the snaana of Agastya Kunda would only complete Pushkar Yatra, since the Kunda snaan is a total wash off of one's sins. The most essential snaana of Pushkar is in any case is that of Sarasvati River which is called 'Praachi Saraswati' also addressed by five names viz. Suprabha, Kanchana, Praachi, Nanda and Vaishalika. Pushkara's bathing on Kartika Pournami is stated to be of paramount significance. Some 8 km. away from Pushkar Tirtha is the Sangama of Praachi Sarasvati and Nandaa River. Near by the Sangama, the Naga Parvat has several caves including Bhartruhari Cave and Shila named after him.]

Sarga Sixty Two

Shunahśepam naraśrestha grhītvā tu mahāyaśāh, vyaśrāmyat puşkare rājā madhyāhne raghunandana/ tasya viśramamāṇasya śunaḥśepo mahāyaśāḥ, puṣkaram śresṭham āgamya viśvāmitram dadarśa ha/ viṣaṇṇavadano dīnas tṛṣṇayā ca śrameṇa ca, papātāṅke mune rāma vākyaṁ cedam uvāca ha/ na me'sti mātā na pitā jñātavo bāndhavāh kutah, trātum arhasi mām saumva dharmena munipumgava/ trātā tvam hi muniśrestha sarvesām tvam hi bhāvanah, rājā ca krtakārvah svād aham dīrghāvur avvava/ svargalokam upāśnīyām tapas taptvā hy anuttamam, sa me nātho hy anāthasya bhava bhavyena cetasā, piteva putram dharmātmams trātum arhasi kilbisāt/ tasya tadvacanam śrutvā viśvāmitro mahātapāh, sāntvayitvā bahuvidham putrān idam uvāca ha/ yatkṛte pitarah putrāñ janayanti śubhārthinah, paralokahitārthāya tasya kālo 'yam āgatah/ ayam munisuto bālo mattah śaranam icchati, asya jīvitamātreņa priyam kuruta putrakāh/ sarve sukrtakarmānah sarve dharmaparāyanāh, pasubhūtā narendrasya tṛptim agneḥ prayacchata/ nāthavāms ca sunaḥsepo yajñas cāvighnato bhavet, devatās tarpitās ca syur mama cāpi kṛtam vacaḥ/ munes tu vacanam śrutvā madhuṣyandādayaḥ sutāḥ, sābhimānam naraśrestha salīlam idam abruvan/katham ātmasutān hitvā trāyase 'nyasutam vibho, akāryam iva paśyāmah śvamāmsam iva bhojane/ tesām tad vacanam śrutvā putrānām munipumgavah, krodhasamraktanayano vyāhartum upacakrame/ nihsādhvasam idam proktam dharmād api vigarhitam, atikramya tu madvākyam dāruṇam romaharṣaṇam/ śvamāmsabhojinaḥ sarve vāsiṣṭhā iva jātiṣu, pūrṇam varsasahasram tu prthivyām anuvatsvatha/ krtvā śāpasamāvuktān putrān munivaras tadā, śunahśepam

uvācārtam krtvā rakṣām nirāmayām/ pavitrapāśair āsakto raktamālyānulepanaḥ, vaiṣṇavam yūpam āsādya vāgbhir agnim udāhara/ ime tu gāthe dve divye gāyethā muniputraka, ambarīṣasya yajñe 'smims tataḥ siddhim avāpsyasi/ śunaḥśepo grhītvā te dve gāthe susamāhitaḥ,tvarayā rājasimham tam ambarīṣam uvāca ha/ rājasimha mahāsattva śīghram gacchāvahe sadaḥ, nivartayasva rājendra dīkṣām ca samupāhara/ tad vākyam rṣiputrasya śrutvā harṣam samutsukaḥ, jagāma nrpatiḥ śīghram yajñavāṭam atandritaḥ/ sadasyānumate rājā pavitrakrtalakṣaṇam, paśum raktāmbaram krtvā yūpe tam samabandhayat/ sa baddho vāgbhir agryābhir abhituṣṭāva vai surau,indram indrānujam caiva yathāvan muniputrakaḥ/ tataḥ prītaḥ sahasrākṣo rahasyastutitarpitaḥ, dīrgham āyus tadā prādāc chunaḥśepāya rāghava/ sa ca rājā naraśreṣṭha yajñasya ca samāptavān, phalam bahuguṇam rāma sahasrākṣaprasādajam/ viśvāmitro 'pi dharmātmā bhūyas tepe mahātapāḥ, puṣkareṣu naraśreṣṭha daśavarṣaśatāni ca/

Maharshi Shatananda continued to Rama Lakshmanas that King Ambarisha arrived at noon time at the Pushkara Tirtha along with the boy Shunahshepa and rested for a while. While the King was resting, Shunahshepa loitered on the banks of Pushkara and while witnessing severl Munis engrossedin tapasya, happened to accidentally met his uncle Maharshi Vishvamitra. As the boy was looking extremely worried and lonely, Vishvamitra cajoled the boy who looked unfed, dippressed, and lost, Vishvamitra took him on his lap as the boy said: na me'sti mātā na pitā jñātayo bāndhayāh kutah, trātum arhasi mām saumya dharmena munipumgava/ trātā tvam hi muniśrestha sarvesām tvam hi bhāvanah, rājā ca kṛtakāryah syād aham dīrghāyur avyaya/ svargalokam upāśnīyām tapas taptvā hy anuttamam, sa me nātho hy anāthasya bhava bhavyena cetasā, piteva putram dharmātmams trātum arhasi kilbiṣāt/ Maharshi! I now have a mother, or father or a relative. You only could save me as King Ambarisha be fulfilled of his desire and I could be too sent to heaven and be blessed with everlong life. As the boy was crying away out of helplessness, Vishvamitra then addressed the Munis around and said: 'it is most unfotunate that the era ended now as fathers longing for such sons who could save them after their own deaths! This helpless boy seeks protection from me!' Then Vishvamitra addressed the young brahmachari boys busy with their duties and said that this boy would seek my protection and therefore come forward to save him by becoming martyrs in becoming Yagina pashus and offer yourself to flames of fires and make the Yagina of the King a grand success as several Devas would be satiated with the Sacrifice! As Vishvamitra was addressing the Maharshis, one of them viz. Madhcchhanda Maharshi the famed composer of Rigveda hymns and a few other supporters of Nara Pashu Yagina tauntingly and sarcastically retorted to Vishvamitra stating katham ātmasutān hitvā trāyase 'nyasutam vibho, akāryam iva paśyāmah śvamāmsam iva bhojane/ tesām/ 'Sir! How come that you could have allowed to be killed your own sons in Shabala Kamadhenu battle with you, but now you wish to save this Shunahshepa now! Just as one might get incensed while dog's meat is served, the same way one ought to have reacted as your own sons were killed; but then why somebody else's son was being sacrificed, you are getting worked up!' Then Vishvamitra got terribly worked up with red eyes and replied: nihsādhvasam idam proktam dharmād api vigarhitam, atikramva tu madvākvam dārunam romaharsanam/ śvamāmsabhojinah sarve vāsisthā iva jātisu, pūrnam varsasahasram tu prthivyām anuvatsyatha/ 'You the Maharshis supporting Vasishtha Putras to have had the audacity be blame me not to have been able to save my sons from being killed; now my shaap to you all of you the supporters of Vishvamitra's sons as well as to Vasishtha's sons too to become instantly as dog meat eating 'mushtikas' or beggars for thousand years on earth!' Subsequently, Munikumara Shunahshepa was tied to the pole as the 'yagjna pashu' with red flowered garnands, as the mantras relevant to Indra and Vishnu; the Munikumara requested the King Ambarisha not to delay further even as the co-ritvijas too sought to proceed faster, and having taken the approval of the audience completed the sacrifice. Lord Indra seemed to have blessed the 'yagina pashu' with thousand long subsequent life! Maharshi Vishvamitra continued his severe tapasya at the pushkara tirtha itself.

Sarga Sixty Three

Pūrne varsasahasre tu vratasnātam mahāmunim, abhyāgacchan surāh sarve tapahphalacikīrsavah/ abravīt sumahātejā brahmā suruciram vacah, rsis tvam asi bhadram te svārjitaih karmabhih śubhaih/ tam evam uktvā deveśas tridivam punar abhyagāt, viśvāmitro mahātejā bhūyas tepe mahat tapah/ tatah kālena mahatā menakā paramāpsarāḥ, puṣkareṣu naraśreṣṭha snātum samupacakrame/ tām dadarśa mahātejā menakām kuśikātmajah, rūpenāpratimām tatra vidvutam jalade vathā/drstvā kandarpavaśago munis tām idam abravīt, apsarah svāgatam te 'stu vasa ceha mamāśrame, anugrhnīsva bhadram te madanena sumohitam/ity uktā sā varārohā tatrāvāsam athākarot, tapaso hi mahāvighno viśvāmitram upāgataḥ/ tasyām vasantyām varṣāṇi pañca pañca ca rāghava, viśvāmitrāśrame saumva sukhena vyaticakramuh/ atha kāle gate tasmin viśvāmitro mahāmunih, savrīda iva samvrttas cintāsokaparāyanah/ buddhir muneh samutpannā sāmarsā raghunandana, sarvam surānām karmaitat tapo'paharanam mahat/ ahorātrāpadeśena gatāh samvatsarā daśa, kāmamohābhibhūtasya vighno 'yam pratyupasthitah vinihśvasan munivarah paścāt tāpena duhkhitah/ bhītām apsarasam dṛstvā vepantīm prāñjalim sthitām, menakām madhurair vākyair visrjya kuśikātmajah, uttaram parvatam rāma viśvāmitro jagāma ha/ sa kṛtvā naisthikīm buddhim jetukāmo mahāyaśāḥ, kauśikītīram āsādya tapas tepe sudāruṇam/ tasya varsasahasram tu ghoram tapa upāsatah, uttare parvate rāma devatānām abhūd bhayam/ amantrayan samāgamya sarve sarsigaņāh surāh, maharsisabdam labhatām sādhv ayam kusikātmajah/ devatānām vacaḥ śrutvā sarvalokapitāmahaḥ, abravīn madhuram vākyam viśvāmitram tapodhanam/ maharṣe svāgatam vatsa tapasogrena tositah, mahattvam rsimukhyatvam dadāmi tava kauśika/ brahmanah sa vacah śrutvā viśvāmitras tapodhanah, prāñjalih pranato bhūtvā pratyuvāca pitāmaham/ brahmarsi śabdam atulam svārjitaih karmabhih śubhaih, yadi me bhagavān āha tato 'ham vijitendriyah/ tam uvāca tato brahmā na tāvat tvam jitendriyah, yatasva muniśārdūla ity uktvā tridivam gatah/ viprasthitesu devesu viśvāmitro mahāmunih, ūrdhvabāhur nirālambo vāyubhakṣas tapaś caran/ dharme pañcatapā bhūtvā varsāsv ākāśasamśrayah, śiśire salilasthāyī rātryahāni tapodhanah, evam varsasahasram hi tapo ghoram upāgamat/ tasmin samtapyamāne tu viśvāmitre mahāmunau, sambhramah sumahān āsīt surānām vāsavasya ca'/ rambhām apsarasam śakrah saha sarvair marudganaih, uvācātmahitam vākyam ahitam kauśikasya ca/

Muni Shatananda continued stating to Rama Lakshmanas that as Vishyamitra's thousand years of tapasya concluded, groups of Devas arrived to bless him and stated that from kshatriyatva, Vishvamitra had now been upgrated as Maharshi . Having heard that encouraging outcome, Maharshi Vishvamitra continued for the next status and resolved to yet another thousand years of tapasya. As he had thus initiated the next phase of tapasya, Apsara Menaka arrived at the pushkara tirtha redeadying herself to take her sacred bath. Vishvamitra was mentally imbalanced at her alluring body figure and flashy appearance, and invited her to stay in his ashram. As he was unable to lose his self control, both lived together for some months together. But having realised subsequently, he felt anguished that Devas were still unkind to him and they were still testing his self control; he chided Menaka too and having sent her off shifted to the northern heights of Himalayas and took to the severemost tapasya, even as Devas were flustered and approached Brahma. In turn, Brahma Deva was pleased to bless him and stated: Maharse svāgatam vatsa tapasogrena tositah, mahattvam rsimukhvatvam dadāmi tava kauśika/ Welcome Vishvamitra! I am very pleased to grant you the status of the foremost of Maharshis. Brahmaṇaḥ sa vacaḥ śrutvā viśvāmitras tapodhanah, prāñjalih pranato bhūtvā pratyuvāca pitāmaham/ brahmarsi śabdam atulam svārjitaiḥ karmabhiḥ śubhaiḥ, yadi me bhagavān āha tato 'ham vijitendriyaḥ/ Vishvamitra then greeting Brahma with prostrations made an appeal that in case the latter was truly happy with my taspasya then he might bless Vishvamitra with the Title of Brahmarshi. Then Brahma repied: 'Muni shreshtha! You have still not yet ripe as a 'Jitendriya' and should have to resort to further tapasya. As per Brahma Deva's instructions, Maharshi Vishvamitra further continued ruthless and far more rigorous tapasya, and Indra accompanied by Marudganas convened a conference with apsaraas.

Sarga Sixty Four

Surakāryam idam rambhe kartavyam sumahat tvayā, lobhanam kauśikasyeha kāmamohasamanvitam/ tathoktā sāpsarā rāma sahasrāksena dhīmatā, vrīditā prāñjalir bhūtvā pratyuvāca sureśvaram/ ayam surapate ghoro viśvāmitro mahāmunih, krodham utsraksyate ghoram mayi deva na samśayah, tato hi me bhayam deva prasādam kartum arhasi/ tām uvāca sahasrākso vepamānām kṛtāñjalim, mā bhaisi rambhe bhadram te kurusva mama śāsanam/ kokilo hrdavagrāhī mādhave ruciradrume, aham kandarpasahitah sthāsyāmi tava pārśvatah/ tvam hi rūpam bahugunam kṛtvā paramabhāsvaram, tam rsim kausikam rambhe bhedayasva tapasvinam/ sā śrutvā vacanam tasya kṛtvā rūpam anuttamam, lobhayām āsa lalitā viśvāmitram śucismitā/ kokilasya tu śuśrāva valgu vyāharatah syanam, samprahrstena manasā tata enām udaiksata/ atha tasya ca śabdena gītenāpratimena ca, daršanena ca rambhāyā munih samdeham āgatah/ sahasrāksasya tat karma vijñāya munipumgavah, rambhām krodhasamāvistah śaśāpa kuśikātmajah/ yan mām lobhayase rambhe kāmakrodhajayaisinam, daśavarsasahasrāni śailī sthāsyasi durbhage/yan mām lobhayase rambhe kāmakrodhajayaisinam, daśavarşasahasrāṇi śailī sthāsyasi durbhage/ brāhmaṇaḥ sumahātejās tapobalasamanvitaḥ, uddharişyati rambhe tvām matkrodhakaluşīkṛtām/ evam uktvā mahātejā viśvāmitro mahāmuniḥ, aśaknuvan dhārayitum kopam samtāpam āgatah/ tasva śāpena mahatā rambhā śailī tadābhayat, yacah śrutvā ca kandarpo maharseh sa ca nirgataḥ// kopena sa mahātejās tapo 'paharane kṛte, indriyair ajitai rāma na lebhe śāntim ātmanah/

Indra at his conference with apsaras addressed pointedly to Rambha who blushed and replied with folded hands that Maharshi Vishvamitra had proved himself as a frightful personality and as such be kindly excused for the onerous task. Indra accorded encouragement and said that she could kindly be requested than being instructed and with all her abilities of physical and psychological nature, Vishvamitra be veered around and subdued. As Rambha then approached him, Vishvamitra recognised Rambhas's voice which was sonorous like of a cuckoo bird and instantly realised the vicious planning of Indra in despatching Rambha. He adderessed her: van mām lobhayase rambhe kāmakrodhajayaisinam, daśavarsasahasrāni śailī sthāsyasi durbhage/brāhmanah sumahātejās tapobalasamanvitah, uddharisyati rambhe tvām matkrodhakalusīkrtām/ Hey Rambhe the most unfortunate! You desire that I be allured and get attracted to you! For this mean act of seeking me enthralled, may you be cursed by me to become a stone for thousand years. Vishvamitra further said: evam uktvā mahātejā viśvāmitro mahāmunih, aśaknuvan dhārayitum kopam samtāpam āgatah/Rambhe! Once you might be relieved of my curse, a mahe brahmana of unparalleled tapomahima - Vasishtha would be pleased to relieve and racover my curse. Meanwhile, Indra and followers slipped away along with Manmadha desirous of encouraging and assisting the accursed Rambha. Visishtha then continued his tapasya for thousand years as already resolved by him.

Sarga Sixty Five

Atha haimavatīm rāma diśam tyaktvā mahāmuniḥ, pūrvām diśam anuprāpya tapas tepe sudāruṇam/
maunam varṣasahasrasya kṛtvā vratam anuttamam, cakārāpratimam rāma tapaḥ paramaduṣkaram/
pūrṇe varṣasahasre tu kāṣṭhabhūtam mahāmunim, vighnair bahubhir ādhūtam krodho nāntaram āviśat/
tato devāḥ sagandharvāḥ pannagāsurarākṣasāḥ, mohitās tejasā tasya tapasā mandaraśmayaḥ,
kaśmalopahatāḥ sarve pitāmaham athābruvan/ bahubhiḥ kāraṇair deva viśvāmitro mahāmuniḥ, lobhitaḥ
krodhitaś caiva tapasā cābhivardhate/ na hy asya vṛjinam kim cid dṛśyate sūkṣmam apy atha, na dīyate
yadi tv asya manasā yad abhīpsitam, vināśayati trailokyam tapasā sacarācaram, vyākulāś ca diśaḥ sarvā
na ca kim cit prakāśate/ sāgarāḥ kṣubhitāḥ sarve viśīryante ca parvatāḥ, prakampate ca pṛthivī vāyur
vāti bhṛśākulaḥ/ buddhim na kurute yāvan nāśe deva mahāmuniḥ, tāvat prasādyo bhagavān agnirūpo
mahādyutiḥ/ kālāgninā yathā pūrvam trailokyam dahyate 'khilam, devarājye cikīrṣeta dīyatām asya yan
matam/ tataḥ suragaṇāḥ sarve pitāmahapurogamāḥ, viśvāmitram mahātmānam vākyam madhuram
abruvan/ brahmarṣe svāgatam te 'stu tapasā sma sutoṣitāḥ, brāhmanyam tapasogreṇa prāptavān asi
kauśika/ dīrgham āyuś ca te brahman dadāmi samarudgaṇaḥ, svasti prāpnuhi bhadram te gaccha
saumva yathāsukham/ pitāmahavacah śrutvā sarvesām ca divaukasām, krtvā pranāmam mudito

vyājahāra mahāmunih/brāhmanyam yadi me prāptam dīrgham āyus tathaiva ca, omkāro 'tha vasatkāro vedāś ca varayantu mām/ ksatravedavidām śrestho brahmavedavidām api, brahmaputro vasistho mām evam vadatu devatāḥ, yady ayam paramaḥ kāmaḥ kṛto yāntu surarṣabhāḥ/ tataḥ prasādito devair vasistho japatām varaḥ, sakhyam cakāra brahmarsir evam astv iti cābravīt/ brahmarsitvam na samdehaḥ sarvam sampatsvate tava, itv uktvā devatāś cāpi sarvā jagmur vathāgatam/ viśvāmitro 'pi dharmātmā labdhvā brāhmaṇyam uttamam, pūjayām āsa brahmarṣim vasiṣṭham japatām varam/ kṛtakāmo mahīm sarvām cacāra tapasi sthitah, evam tv anena brāhmanyam prāptam rāma mahātmanā/ eṣa rāma muniśrestha esa vigrahavāms tapah, esa dharmah paro nitvam vīrvasvaisa parāvanam/ śatānandavacah śrutvā rāmalaksmanasamnidhau, janakah prānjalir vākyam uvāca kuśikātmajam/ dhanyo 'smy anugrhīto 'smi yasya me munipumgava, yajñam kākutstha sahitah prāptavān asi dhārmik, pāvito 'ham tvayā brahman darśanena mahāmune/ gunā bahuvidhāh prāptās tava samdarśanān mayā, vistarena ca te brahman kīrtyamānam mahat tapah / śrutam mayā mahātejo rāmena ca mahātmanā, sadasyaih prāpya ca sadah śrutās te bahavo guṇāh/ aprameyam tapas tubhyam aprameyam ca te balam, aprameyā guṇāś caiva nityam te kuśikātmaja/ tṛptir āścaryabhūtānām kathānām nāsti me vibho, karmakālo muniśrestha lambate ravimandalam/ śvah prabhāte mahātejo drastum arhasi mām punah, svāgatam tapasām śrestha mām anujñātum arhasi/evam uktvā muniśrestham vaideho mithilādhipaḥ, pradakṣiṇam cakārāśu sopādhyāyaḥ sabāndhavaḥ/ viśvāmitro 'pi dharmātmā saharāmaḥ salakṣmaṇaḥ, svam vāṭam abhicakrāma pūjyamāno maharsibhih/

Even as Vishamitra resorted to the severest possible tapasya he nodoubt got awefully thinned down in body and energy while countless hurdles were faced but his short temper still persisted. As thus the tapasya reached the thousand year mark, Indra approached him as a brahmana medicant soliciting for readily cooked food meant for Vishvamitra himself. Despite his 'mouna vrata' of keeping silence for years, Vishvamitra gave away the entire food to the brahmana. He continued to even stopping his normal breathing and resultantly from his head emerged smokes of fume. tato devāh sagandharvāh pannagāsurarāksasāh, mohitās tejasā tasya tapasā mandaraśmayah, kaśmalopahatāh sarve pitāmaham athābruvan/ bahubhih kāranair deva viśvāmitro mahāmunih, lobhitah krodhitaś caiva tapasā cābhivardhate/ na hy asya vṛjinaṁ kiṁ cid dṛśyate sūkṣmam apy atha, na dīyate yadi tv asya manasā yad abhīpsitam, vināśavati trailokvam tapasā sacarācaram, vvākulāś ca diśah sarvā na ca kim cit prakāśate/ sāgarāh ksubhitāh sarve viśīrvante ca parvatāh, prakampate ca prthivī vāvur vāti bhrśākulah/ This had created havoc in trilokas and Devata-Rishi-Gandharva-Naaga-Rakshasas got shaken with fright. They made a frantic appeal to Brahma Deva and described that the severity was getting further and further momentum. Ocean waters were raised higher and higher, mountains were getting broken down and earthquakes were hastened repeatedly. Then Maharshi Vishvamitra was of the form of sky high flames and one might imagine that 'pralaya' time had almost arrived nearby. It was at that critical juncture, Brahma Deva arrived before Vishvamitra and said sweetly: dīrgham āyuś ca te brahman dadāmi samarudganah, svasti prāpnuhi bhadram te gaccha saumya yathāsukham/ Brahman! I have arrived now with Maruganas and am totally contented with your tapasya and bless you to accomplish the glory and name of being a Brahmarshi henceforth. Addressing the Deva ganas headed by Indra, Vishvamitra stated: yadi me prāptam dīrgham āyus tathaiva ca, omkāro 'tha vaṣaṭkāro vedāś ca varayantu mām/ kṣatravedavidām śreṣṭho brahmavedavidām api, brahmaputro vasiṣṭho mām evam vadatu devatāḥ, yady ayam paramah kāmah kṛto yāntu surarsabhāh/ 'As Brahma Himself blessed me with the unique title and status of Brahmarshi, may Omkara-Vashatkaara (or Seers with intution- independent judgment-charmvision-enligtenment-conviction- and equanimity) and Chatur Veda jnaana; besides, dhanur veda-brahma veda- to be within my reach. Most essentially, Vasishtha Maharshi himself should on his own appear and concede my superiority! Then Indraadi Deva blessed the Brahmarshi acknowledged with 'tathaastu' and disappeared. Maharshi Vasishtha then appeared on his own and congratulated the Brahmarshi. This was how Maharshi Shatananda requested the omnipresent Brahmarshi Vishvamitra described in detail of the glory of the Brahmarshi to Rama Lakshmanas, even as the smiling Brahmarshi instantly stood before Shatanada- Rama-Lakshmanas. That was the time when King Janaka prostrated before the Brahmarshi and complemented Maharshi Shatananda for his vivid picturisation of Vishvamitra and the vicissitudes of his life climaxing as the 'Isihatic Brahmarshi'. King Janaka then warmly welcomed Shri Rama

Lakshmanas to kingly accompany the Brahmarshi as the rest of the audience at the King's intimate court members who welcomed the trio of Brahmarshi-Rama-Lakshmanas with admiration and approbations. Then the royal guests of honour were respetfully invited into their respective places of overnigt rest.

Sarga Sixty Six

Tataḥ prabhāte vimale kṛtakarmā narādhipaḥ, viśvāmitram mahātmānam ājuhāva sarāghavam/ tam arcayitvā dharmātmā śāstradṛṣṭtena karmaṇā,rāghavau ca mahātmānau tadā vākyam uvāca ha/ bhagavan svāgatam te 'stu kim karomi tavānagha, bhavān ājñāpayatu mām ājñāpyo bhavatā hy aham/ evam uktah sa dharmātmā janakena mahātmanā, pratyuvāca munir vīram vākyam vākyaviśāradah/ putrau daśarathasyemau ksatriyau lokaviśrutau, drastukāmau dhanuh śrestham yad etat tvayi tisthati/ etad darśaya bhadram te krtakāmau nṛpātmajau, darśanād asya dhanuso yathestam pratiyāsyatah/ evam uktas tu janakah pratyuvāca mahāmunim, śrūyatām asya dhanuso yad artham iha tisthati/ devarāta iti khyāto nimeḥ ṣastho mahīpatiḥ, nyāso 'yam tasya bhagavan haste datto mahātmanā/ dakṣayajñavadhe pūrvam dhanur āvamva vīrvavān, rudras tu tridasān rosāt salīlam idam abravīt/ vasmād bhāgārthino bhāgān nākalpayata me surāḥ, varāngāni mahārhāṇi dhanuṣā śātayāmi va/ tato vimanasaḥ sarve devā vai munipumgava, prasādayanti devešam teṣām prīto 'bhavad bhavaḥ/ prītiyuktaḥ sa sarveṣām dadau tesām mahātmanām, tad etad devadevasya dhanūratnam mahātmanah, nyāsabhūtam tadā nyastam asmākam pūrvake vibho/ atha me kṛṣatah kṣetram lāngalād utthitā mama, kṣetram śodhayatā labdhvā nāmnā sīteti viśrutā, bhūtalād utthitā sā tu vyavardhata mamātmajā/ vīryaśulketi me kanyā sthāpiteyam avonijā, bhūtalād utthitām tām tu vardhamānām mamātmajām, varavām āsur āgamva rājāno munipumgava/ teṣām varayatām kanyām sarveṣām pṛthivīkṣitām, vīryaśulketi bhagavan na dadāmi sutām aham/ tatah sarve nrpatayah sametya munipumgava, mithilām abhyupāgamya vīryam jijñāsavas tadā/ tesām jijñāsamānām vīryam dhanur upāhrtam, na śekur grahane tasya dhanusas tolane 'pi vā/ tesām vīryavatām vīryam alpam jñātvā mahāmune, pratyākhyātā nṛpatayas tan nibodha tapodhana/ tatah paramakopena rājāno munipumgava, arundhan mithilām sarve vīrvasamdeham āgatāh/ ātmānam avadhūtam te vijnāya munipumgava, roseņa mahatāvistāh pīdayan mithilām purīm/ tatah samvatsare pūrne ksayam vātāni sarvasah, sādhanāni munirestha tato 'ham bhrsaduhkhitah tato devaganān sarvāms tapasāham prasādavam, daduś ca paramaprītāś caturangabalam surāh/ tato bhagnā nrpatavo hanyamānā diśo yayuḥ, avīryā vīryasamdigdhā sāmātyāḥ pāpakāriṇaḥ/ tad etan muniśārdūla dhanuḥ paramabhāsvaram, rāmalaksmanayoś cāpi darśayisyāmi suvrata/ yady asya dhanuso rāmah kuryād āropanam mune, sutām ayonijām sītām dadyām dāśarather aham/

Next morning King Janaka called on Brahmarshi and Rama Lakshmanas and after due respects asked them as to the purpose of their visit. Vishvamitra conveyed that Rama and Lakshmanas being outstanding heros desired to know about and glance at the famed **Shiva Dhanush**. King Janaka then gave the background of the widely reputed dhanush. In the days of yore, King Nimi was gifted a 'Shiva Dhanush' at the time of the wedding of his son Devaraata, and they could lift up this famed dhanush comfortably. King Janaka continued that this 'dhanush' was believed to have been that of Parama Shiva Himself. At the time of Daksha Yagjna Vidhvamsa, Bhagavan Shankara playfully materialised this Dhanush and angrily addressed various Devas who attended Daksha Yagjna that they had the audacity of participating the proceedings although they were well aware that Parama Shiva himself was not invited to the Yagjna and therefore he would like to break their heads. Devas who were present got frightened and tried to mitigate the anger of Shiva with prayers and as a sign of excusing them gave away this dhanush to them all. Devas in turn gifted this invaluable gift at the wedding of King Nimi's son Devarata and that indeed was the background of this Shiva Dhanush.

Vishleshanas on 1) King Nimi and 2) Daksha yagina

King Nimi of Ikshwaku dynasty was extremely righteous and desired once to perform a Maha Yagjna in the name of Bhagavati. The Raja Guru Vasishtha Muni agreed to be the Head Priest and conduct the

Yaga. As all the preparations were ready just on the appointed time, Vasishtha Muni sent word that Indra Deva wished to perform a Yagna and thus the homa by the King be deferred to another date. King Nimi was furious and went ahead with his Yagna as scheduled in the absence of Vasishtha Muni. On return Vasishtha saw that the Homa was in the process and cursed the King to drop dead and since the Sacrifice was not vet concluded. Nimi became a 'Videha' or bodyless to enable the King to complete the 'Purnaahuti'or the Grand Finale of the Yagna. Lord Yama Dharmaraja was pleased with the Yagna and gave him the option of entering the first Jeeva Body of Brihaspati or continuing the Videha Body and the King preferred to be 'Videha' or body-less. The King on his part gave a return curse to Vasishtha to die too and the latter prayed to Brahma Deva who was Vasishtha's Manasa Putra. Brahma blessed Vasishta to enter Mitravaruna's Jeeva or coporal body which was kept in tact; the earlier Mitravaruna was infatuated with Apsrara Urvashi and two issues were born of whom one was Agasti who became an ascetic and the other was King Ikshwaku. Mitravaruna's corporal body was still in tact even Brahma created Vasishtha; now the jeeva body of Vasishtha since dropped dead as a result of Nimi's curse had entered the duplicate of Mitravaruna without any loss of original Vasishtha's wisdom and radiance! Such was the glory of King Nimi, who ruled Mithila for 84000 yreas righteously. (Source: Devi Bhagavata Purana)

Daksha Yagna:

Brahma blessed Daksha Prajapati to beget a daughter with the 'Amsha' or part-manifestation of Devi Bhagavati as Devi Sati. Already Daksha got sixty daughters, ten married to Dharma, thirteen to Kashyapa Muni, twenty seven to Chandra, two to Bhuta Ganas, two to Kushashwa, six to Garuda and so on. As Sati Devi came of age, she fixed her mind on Rudra Deva and resorted to severe Tapasya. Rudra agreed to marry her, Brahma proposed formally and the marriage took place with pomp and show. Sati and Rudra shifted from Kailasa to Himalayas where Bhagavan enlightened Sati Devi on many matters of Spiritual Significance including the nuances of Mantra-Tantra-Yantra and Yoga. But meanwhile, Daksha Prajapati got increasingly jealous of Rudra Deva. At the ill-famed Daksha Yagna, Daksha denied 'Pradhana Havis' or the prime part of the Yagna to Rudra as per the usual practice and even as Sage Dadhichi pointed out the lacuna, the caution was ignored. Sati Devi felt that there was a mistake made by her father and insisted on attending the yagna despite Shiva's warning and his subsequent approval with great reluctance as Nandi and Rudra Ganas accompanied her. Daksha ignored her entry at the Yagna and in fact talked disparagingly against Rudra Deva. She could not contain Daksha's criticism of Maha Deva and having produced Yogic Fire ended herself to unite with Bhagavan. As Nandi informed Shiva of the tragedy, the latter pulled out a few hairs from his Jatajuta or the coarse knotted head- hair against a mountain and the energy so created broke the mountain into two parts, one of which having materialised Veerabhadra and another Devi Bhadra Kaali. The enraged Rudra asked them to destroy Daksha Yagna. Veerabhadra beheaded Daksha and together with Bhadra Kaali turned the Yagna into smithereens. Devi Bhagavata Purana stated that Shiva picked up the body remains of Sati Devi and performed furious Shiva Tandava to release his pent up emotions of intense love of Sati and hightened anger for Daksha; Vishnu apprehended Pralaya and used his Sudarshana Chakra to spread out the body remains of Sati and hundred and eight Shakti Peethas came into being. Veda Vyasa affirmed that worship at these Siddha Peethas or even hearing about these would destroy sins and bestow powers to the devotees concerned. Eventually, the instant fury of Shiva was cooled down by the prayers of Brahma and Devas and the ever merciful Shiva agreed to the resuscitation of Daksha by fixing the Goat-head of the Sacrificial animal. The ever grateful Daksha begged of Shiva's clemency and re-organised Daksha Yagna once again with Maha Deva occupying the High-Seat at any Yagna eversince.

Sarga Sixty Six continued: Atha me kṛṣataḥ kṣetraṁ lāṅgalād utthitā mama, kṣetraṁ śodhayatā labdhvā nāmnā sīteti viśrutā, bhūtalād utthitā sā tu vyavardhata mamātmajā/ vīryaśulketi me kanyā sthāpiteyam ayonijā, bhūtalād utthitāṁ tāṁ tu vardhamānāṁ mamātmajām, varayām āsur āgamya rājāno munipuṁgava/ As King Janaka was performing 'Bhumi Yagjna' by tilling the land with formal mantras

in praise and invocation of 'bhu devi', the top of the 'hala' or the tiller digging the bhumi was dragging with screeching sound as though some matter was hit as being hidden underneath the ground.; Kshetram shodhayataa labdhya naamnaa Seeteti vishrita, bhutalaad utthhitaam saa tu vardhat mamatmaja/ Thus Devi Sita was called 'ayonija' or unborn to a woman. Then and there, the King readily resolved to marry her off only to such a 'Veerya shukla' or a person of mighty semen who could lift up and get it readied for action. As Devi Sita gradually came of age, several suitors aspired for her hand but were told assertivlely: teṣām varayatām kanyām sarveṣām pṛthivīkṣitām, vīryaśulketi bhagavan na dadāmi sutām aham/Only those valiant and virtuous princes who could truly manouver and straigten the Shiva dhanush would be the eligible youth. Following this announcement, none indeed could do this brave act so far. Several princes of near and far kingdoms in groups became angry and even threatened King Janaka of dire consequences. King Janaka recalled that as my tension increased in view of my predicament, Devas helped me in manifesting 'chaturanga sena' of strong foot soldiers, hores and horsemen, chariots and chatioteers, elephants and elephant men which kept the enemies far and near. Then King Janaka thus having narrated his experiences, stated that this being the background of the Shiva Dhanush, he should be pleased to show the Shiva Dhanush reiterating: Yadv asva dhanuso rāmah kurvād āropanam mune, sutām ayonijām sītām dadyām dāśarather aham/King Janaka then addressed Brahmarshi Vishvamitra: In the event of Shri Rama being able to fulfill my 'pratigina' to the avowed statement that who ever could possibly negotiate this Shiva Dhanush should be eligible for Devi Sita's hand in auspicious wedding with grarititude and respectfulness!

Sarga Sixty Seven

Janakasya vacah śrutvā viśvāmitro mahāmunih, dhanur darśaya rāmāya iti hovāca pārthivam/ tatah sa rājā janakah sacivān vyādideśa ha, dhanur ānīyatām divyam gandhamālyavibhūsitam/ janakena samādiṣṭhāḥ sacivāḥ prāviśan purīm, tad dhanuḥ purataḥ krtvā nirjagmuḥ pārthivājñayā/ nrpām śatāni pañcāśad vyāyatānām mahātmanām, mañjūsām astacakrām tām samūhus te katham cana/ tām ādāya tu mañjūsām āvatīm vatra tad dhanuh, suropamam te janakam ūcur nrpatimantrinah/ idam dhanurvaram rājan pūjitam sarvarājabhih, mithilādhipa rājendra daršanīyam yadīcchasi/ teṣām nṛpo vacaḥ śrutvā krtāñjalir abhāsata, viśvāmitram mahātmānam tau cobhau rāmalaksmanau/ idam dhanurvaram brahmañ janakair abhipūjitam, rājabhiś ca mahāvīryair aśakyam pūritum tadā/ naitat suraganāh sarve nāsurā na ca rāksasāh, gandharvayaksapravarāh sakimnaramahoragāh/ kva gatir mānusānām ca dhanuso 'sya prapūrane, āropane samāyoge vepane tolane 'pi vā/ tad etad dhanusām śrestham ānītam munipumgava, darśayaitan mahābhāga anayo rājaputrayoh/ viśvāmitras tu dharmātmā śrutvā janakabhāṣitam, vatsa rāma dhanuḥ paśya iti rāghavam abravīt/ maharṣer vacanād rāmo yatra tiṣṭhati tad dhanuh, mañjūṣām tām apāvṛtya dṛṣṭvā dhanur athābravīt/ idam dhanurvaram brahman samspršāmīha pāninā, vatnavāms ca bhavisvāmi tolane pūrane 'pi vā/ bādham itv eva tam rājā munis ca samabhāsata, līlavā sa dhanur madhve jagrāha vacanān muneh/ paśvatām nrsahasrānām bahūnām raghunandanaḥ, āropayat sa dharmātmā salīlam iva tad dhanuḥ/ āropayitvā maurvīm ca pūrayām āsa vīryavān, tad babhañja dhanur madhye naraśrestho mahāyaśāh/ tasya śabdo mahān āsīn nirghātasamanihsvanah, bhūmikampaś ca sumahān parvatasyeva dīryatah/ nipetuś ca narāh sarve tena śabdena mohitāh, varjayitvā munivaram rājānam tau ca rāghavau/ pratyāśvaste jane tasmin rājā vigatasādhvasah, uvāca prāñjalir vākyam vākyajño munipumgavam/bhagavan drstavīryo me rāmo daśarathātmajah, atyadbhutam acintyam ca atarkitam idam mayā/ janakānām kule kīrtim āhariṣyati me sutā, sītā bhartāram āsādya rāmam daśarathātmajam/ mama satyā pratijñā ca vīryaśulketi kauśika, sītā prāṇair bahumatā deyā rāmāya me sutā/ bhavato 'numate brahmañ sīghram gacchantu mantriṇaḥ, mama kauśika bhadram te ayodhyām tvaritā rathaih/ rājānam praśritair vākyair ānayantu puram mama, pradānam vīryasulkāyāh kathayantu ca sarvasah/ muniguptau ca kākutsthau kathayantu nṛpāya vai, prīyamāṇam tu rājānam ānayantu suśīghragāḥ/ kauśikaś ca tathety āha rājā cābhāṣya mantriṇaḥ, ayodhyām presayām āsa dharmātmā krtaśāsanāt/ On hearing the assertive statements of King Janaka,

Brahmarshi Vishvamitra coolly replied: King Janaka! Could you please show the Shiva Dhanush to Shri Rama! Then the King instructed his minister to have the Shiva Dhanush brought over there; then he described that the dhanush had been kept stored in a heavy steel box of eight strong layers on a mobile platform which could be pushed by five thousand persons of extraordinary body strength. Once vizualised the heaviness and hugeness, the Raja Kumaras could certainly guage and appreciate the splendour and grandeur of the Dhanush. King Janaka having shown the Shiva Dhanush, continued: 'To this wonder striking Dhanush, the generation of Kings of Mithila had been - and so always in generations - performing daily worship. Brahmarshi! Be this known that all the devas, asura- rakshasaas, gandharvas, yaksha kinnnara, maha nagas too had miseralby failed to lift it, let alone to negotiate this dhanush. As the dhanush was brought near, Bahmarshi addressed Shri Rama to have a look at it. Rama replied: Idam dhanurvaram brahman samspṛśāmīha pāninā, yatnavāms ca bhavisyāmi tolane pūrane 'pi vā/ Now, I keep my hand on the shiva dhanush and shall endeavour to lift it up and straighten it too. Having thus stated:Līlayā sa dhanur madhye jagrāha vacanān muneh/ paśyatām nṛṣahasrāṇām bahūnām raghunandanah, āropayat sa dharmātmā salīlam iva tad dhanuh/ āropayitvā maurvīm ca pūrayām āsa vīryayān, tad babhañja dhanur madhye naraśrestho mahāyaśāh/ tasya śabdo mahān āsīn nirghātasamanihsvanah, bhūmikampaś ca sumahān parvatasyeva dīryatah/Shri Rama lifted up the Shiva Dhanush as if it were a toy, straightened it with great ease, held the middle part, and as though of a child play broke into two pieces. That breaking resulted in earthshaking like reverberations and the masses of persons, animals and all other living beings, near and far way too collapsed in unconciousness and solid structures fell down to pieces. For quite some time, the King and followers were dazed into unconsciousness and on gradual recovery exclaimed and addressed Brahmarshi Vishvamitra as follows: Bhagavan dṛṣṭavīryo me rāmo daśarathātmajaḥ, atyadbhutam acintyam ca atarkitam idam mayā/ janakānām kule kīrtim āharisyati me sutā, sītā bhartāram āsādya rāmam daśarathātmajam/ mama satyā pratijñā ca vīryaśulketi kauśika, sītā prānair bahumatā deyā rāmāya me sutā/ Brahmarshi! To day with my own eyes I have witnessed the most unbelievable act of Dasharatha nandana Shri Rama. To lift up, straighten, control and finally break it is simply an act of amazement, disbelief, and magnificence. Once wedded to Shri Rama, my daughter ought to be proud to his life partner and bring in unimaginable glory to her father and the Janaka vamsha! Devi Sita my heartthrob from now onward is dedicated to Shri Rama as his 'sahadhamacharini'! With your kind approval and complaince, may we have the privilege of despatching my minister and senapati to Ayodhya to intimate about the act of incredibilty here and request King Dasharatha, his queens and the entire 'parivaara' to very kindly visit Mithila for the auspicious wedding. Brahmarshi asserted: 'tathaastu' or be it so!

Sarga Sixty Eight

Janakena samādiṣṭā dūtās te klāntavāhanāḥ, trirātram uṣitvā mārge te 'yodhyām prāviśan purīm/ te rājavacanād dūtā rājaveśmapraveśitāḥ, dadṛśur devasamkāśam vṛddham daśaratham nṛpam/ baddhāñjalipuṭāḥ sarve dūtā vigatasādhvasāḥ, rājānam prayatā vākyam abruvan madhurākṣaram/ maithilo janako rājā sāgnihotrapuraskṛtaḥ, kuśalam cāvyayam caiva sopādhyāyapurohitam/ muhur muhur madhurayā snehasamyuktayā girā, janakas tvām mahārāja pṛcchate sapuraḥsaram/ pṛṣṭvā kuśalam avyagram vaideho mithilādhipaḥ, kauśikānumate vākyam bhavantam idam abravīt/ pūrvam pratijñā viditā vīryaśulkā mamātmajā, rājānaś ca kṛtāmarṣā nirvīryā vimukhīkṛtāḥ/ seyam mama sutā rājan viśvāmitra puraḥsaraiḥ, yadṛcchayāgatair vīrair nirjitā tava putrakaiḥ/ tac ca rājan dhanur divyam madhye bhagnam mahātmanā, rāmeṇa hi mahārāja mahatyām janasamsadi/ asmai deyā mayā sītā vīryaśulkā mahātmane, pratijñām tartum icchāmi tad anujñātum arhasi/ sopādhyāyo mahārāja purohitapuraskṛtaḥ, śīghram āgaccha bhadram te draṣṭum arhasi rāghavau/ prītim ca mama rājendra nirvartayitum arhasi, putrayor ubhayor eva prītim tvam api lapsyase/ evam videhādhipatir madhuram vākyam abravīt, viśvāmitrābhyanujñātaḥ śatānandamate sthitaḥ/ dūtavākyam tu tac chrutvā rājā paramaharṣitaḥ, vasiṣṭham vāmadevam ca mantriṇo 'nyāmś ca so 'bravīt/ guptaḥ kuśikaputreṇa kausalyānandavardhanaḥ, lakṣmaṇena saha bhrātrā videheṣu vasaty asau/ dṛṣṭavīryas tu kākutstho

janakena mahātmanā, sampradānam sutāyās tu rāghave kartum icchati/ yadi vo rocate vrttam janakasya mahātmanaḥ, purīm gacchāmahe śīghram mā bhūt kālasya paryayaḥ/ mantriņo bāḍham ity āhuḥ saha sarvair maharṣibhiḥ, suprītaś cābravīd rājā śvo yātreti sa mantriṇaḥ/ mantriṇas tu narendrasya rātrim paramasatkṛtāḥ, ūṣuḥ pramuditāḥ sarve guṇaiḥ sarvaiḥ samanvitāḥ/

As per the instructions of King Janaka, the group of his men travelled three days and nights and reached Ayodhya and having entered the Rajamahal and had the audience of King Dasharatha and conveyed the auspicious message of King Janaka with the blessings of Brahmarshi Vishvamitra as follows: Dashratha Maha Raja! In the past quite a time ago, as you may kindly recall, I made an annoucement in the comity of kingdoms that I would marry off my daughter to a herioc prince who could control the glorious Shiva Dhanush in my possession. Meanwhile I have had the great opportunity of welcoming Brahmarshi Vishvamitra along with your sons of Rama and Lakshmanas into my capital city of Mithila. tac ca rājan dhanur divyam madhye bhagnam mahātmanā, rāmena hi mahārāja mahatyām janasamsadi/asmai deyā mayā sītā vīryaśulkā mahātmane, pratijñām tartum icchāmi tad anujñātum arhasi/ sopādhyāyo mahārāja purohitapuraskṛtaḥ, śīghram āgaccha bhadram te draṣṭum arhasi rāghavau/ prītim ca mama rājendra nirvartayitum arhasi, putrayor ubhayor eva prītim tvam api lapsyase/ 'Maha Bala Dasharatha! Shri Rama in the midst of all of us had managed the control and breaking of the age old Shiva Dhanush and as per my repeated announcements would like to propose my daughter Devi Sita to Shri Rama in a wedding ceremony and therefore request you to attend the same along with your queens and the entire retenue. This should not only enable the fulfillment of my ambition but would firmly establish closeset links of our kingdoms mutually. Besides Rama and Devi Sita, may we also propose the wedding of Lakshmana Kumara with my younger daughter Devi Urmila too'. As the messenger of King Janaka forwarded this most auspicious message, King Dasharadha was greatly pleased and addressed Maharshi Vasishtha besides Vaama Deva and other Ministers: Drstavīryas tu kākutstho janakena mahātmanā, sampradānam sutāyās tu rāghave kartum icchati/ yadi vo rocate vṛttam janakasya mahātmanah, purīm gacchāmahe śīghram mā bhūt kālasya paryayah/ King Janaka of Mithila had himself seen and admired the intrepidity of our Shri Rama and offered Devi Sita as Rama's bride; besides he wished Lakshmana to marry Devi Urmila his younger daughter. Brahmarshi Vishvamitra and Maharshi Shatananda to blessed the proposal. We may therefore expedite our departure to Mithila, by the next morning itself. The royal messenger of King Janaka was duly honoured and asked him to convey the approval and expeditious arrival soon.

Sarga Sixty Nine

Tato rātryām vyatītāyām sopādhyāyah sabāndhavah,rājā daśaratho hṛṣṭah sumantram idam abravīt/ adya sarve dhanādhyakṣā dhanam ādāya puṣkalam, vrajantv agre suvihitā nānāratnasamanvitāh/ caturangabalam cāpi śīghram niryātu sarvaśah, mamājnāsamakālam ca yānayugyam anuttamam/ vasistho vāmadevas ca jābālir atha kāsyapah, mārkandevas ca dīrghāvur rsih kātvāvanas tathā/ ete dvijāh pravāntv agre svandanam vojavasva me, vathā kālātvavo na svād dūtā hi tvaravanti mām/ vacanāc ca narendrasya sā senā caturangiņī, rājānam rsibhih sārdham vrajantam prsthato 'nvagāt' gatvā caturaham mārgam videhān abhyupeyivān, rājā tu janakah śrīmāñ śrutvā pūjām akalpayat/ tato rājānam āsādya yrddham daśaratham nṛpam, janako mudito rājā harsam ca paramam yayau,uvāca na naraśrestho naraśrestham mudānvitam/ svāgatam te mahārāja distyā prāpto 'si rāghava, putrayor ubhayoh prītim lapsyase vīryanirjitām/ distyā prāpto mahātejā vasistho bhagavān rsih, saha sarvair dvijaśresthair devair iva śatakratuh/distyā me nirjitā vighnā distyā me pūjitam kulam, rāghavaih saha sambandhād vīryaśresthair mahātmabhih/ śvah prabhāte narendrendra nirvartayitum arhasi, yajñasyānte naraśreṣṭha vivāham rṣisaṁmatam/tasya tadvacanaṁ śrutvā rṣimadhye narādhipaḥ, vākyaṁ vākyavidām śresthah pratyuvāca mahīpatim/ pratigraho dātṛvaśah śrutam etan mayā purā, yathā vaksyasi dharmajña tat karisyāmahe vayam/ tad dharmistham yaśasyam ca vacanam satyavādinah, śrutvā videhādhipatiḥ param vismayam āgataḥ/ tataḥ sarve munigaṇāḥ parasparasamāgame, harṣeṇa mahatā vuktās tām niśām avasan sukham/ rājā ca rāghavau putrau niśāmva pariharsitah, uvāsa

paramaprīto janakena supūjitaḥ/ janako 'pi mahātejāḥ kriyā dharmeṇa tattvavit,yajñasya ca sutābhyām ca krtvā rātrim uvāsa ha/

Accompanied by Gurus, wives and intimate and other relatives and friends, King Dasharatha was happy and blissful and instructed Sumantra to let the royal treasurer carry surplus funds of cash, jewellery, nine gems ahead and for their safety there ought to be fool proof arrangements by the 'chaturanga sena' of foot soldiers, cavalry, elephantry, chariots and bull carts. Comfortable 'Palkis' be arranged for Maharshis like Vasishtha, Vaamadeva, Jaabaali, Kashyapa, Katyaayana and the Deergha Kaala Markandeya. As per the royal instructions, the chaturanga seva moved forward with the King and the queens at the rear. A four day procession with needed halts on way moved on with plentiful food and drinks with indescribable elation and blissful joy throught the memorable journey. On their arrival at the outskirts of the Kingdom, King Janaka made elaborate reception with music, song, dance and ecstatic welcome showers of flowers.Mithila King Janaka welcomed King Dasharatha overjoyed ecstasy and stated:svāgatam te mahārāja distyā prāpto 'si rāghava, putrayor ubhayoh prītim lapsyase vīryanirjitām/ distyā prāpto mahātejā vasistho bhagavān rṣiḥ, saha sarvair dvijaśresthair devair iva śatakratuḥ/distyā me nirjitā vighnā distvā me pūjitam kulam, rāghavaih saha sambandhād vīrvaśresthair mahātmabhih/ śvah prabhāte narendrendra nirvartayitum arhasi, yajñasyānte naraśrestha vivāham ṛṣisammatam/ Nara shreshtha Raghunandana Dasharatha! Welcome to you! This is my great fortune that you have arrived here. You will shortly enjoy the company of your great son Shri Rama who out of his valour has earned memorable fame. Vasishtha Maharshi too has arrived as my double fortune. As the illustrious Maharshis too have arrived and this appears to be Indra Sabha itself. I am highly relieved of all my troubles and worries. My reationship with Raghukula is a great matter of pride to all of us in the kingdom of Mithila/ Then King Dasharatha too responded: Janaka MahaRaja! The sacred Maharshi Mandali had already blessed us stating: śvah prabhāte narendrendra nirvartavitum arhasi, yajñasyānte naraśrestha vivāham rsisammatam/Tomorrow morning we should all initiate a maha yagina and then perform the Most auspicious marriage of Devi Sita and Kumara Shri Rama. King Janaka reciprocated stating that the 'Pratigriha daata' or the great receiver shoud have the final 'say'. Thus the pleasantries having been closed, both the Kings and Rishis carried on sweet conversations while Rama Lakshmanas led by Brahmarshi Vishvamitra moved forward and as the Kumaras prostrated as King Dasharatha embraced and blessed them stating: 'Deerghameva Kalyana Praptirastu'. Pursuant to the evening celebrations, the next morning after the Yagjna prakriya was concluded, and 'mangalaacharana' of both the couples was celebrated.

Sarga Seventy

Tataḥ prabhāte janakaḥ kṛtakarmā maharsibhiḥ, uvāca vākyaṁ vākyajñaḥ śatānandaṁ purohitam/ bhrātā mama mahātejā yavīyān atidhārmikah, kuśadhvaja iti khyātah purīm adhyavasac chubhām/ vāryāphalakaparyantām pibann iksumatīm nadīm, sāmkāśvām punyasamkāśām vimānam iva puspakam/ tam aham drastum icchāmi vajñagoptā sa me matah, prītim so 'pi mahātejā immām bhoktā mavā saha/ śāsanāt tu narendrasya prayayuḥ śīghravājibhiḥ, samānetum naravyāghram viṣṇum indrājñayā yathā, ājñayā tu narendrasya ājagāma kuśadhvajah/ sa dadarśa mahātmānam janakam dharmavatsalam, so 'bhivādya śatānandam rājānam cāpi dhārmikam, rājārham paramam divyam āsanam cādhyarohata/ upaviṣṭāv ubhau tau tu bhrātarāv amitaujasau, preṣayām āsatur vīrau mantriśreṣṭhaṁ sudāmanam/ gaccha mantripate śīghram aikṣvākam amitaprabham, ātmajaih saha durdharṣam ānayasva samantrinam/ aupakāryām sa gatvā tu raghūnām kulavardhanam, dadarša širasā cainam abhivādyedam abravīt/ ayodhyādhipate vīra vaideho mithilādhipah, sa tvām drastum vyavasitah sopādhyāyapurohitam/ mantriśresthavacah śrutvā rājā sarsiganas tadā, sabandhur agamat tatra janako yatra vartate/ sa rājā mantrisahitah sopādhyāyah sabāndhavah, vākyam vākyavidām śrestho vaideham idam abravīt/ viditam te mahārāja iksvākukuladaivatam, vaktā sarvesu krtyesu vasistho bhagavān rsih/ viśvāmitrābhyanujñātaḥ saha sarvair maharṣibhiḥ, eṣa vakṣyati dharmātmā vasiṣṭho me yathākramam/ tūṣṇīmbhūte daśarathe vasistho bhagavān rsih, uvāca vākvam vākvajno vaideham sapurohitam/ avvaktaprabhavo

brahmā śāśvato nitya avyayah, tasmān marīcih samjajñe marīceh kaśyapah sutah/ vivasvān kaśyapāj jajñe manur vaivaisvatah smrtah, manuh prajāpatih pūrvam iksvākus tu manoh sutah/ tam iksvākum ayodhyāyām rājānam viddhi pūrvakam, ikṣvākos tu sutaḥ śrīmān vikukṣir udapadyata/ vikukṣes tu mahātejā bāṇaḥ putraḥ pratāpavān, bāṇasya tu mahātejā anaraṇyaḥ pratāpavān/ anaraṇyāt pṛthur jajñe triśankus tu prthoh sutah, triśankor abhavat putro dhundhumāro mahāvaśāh/ dhundhumārān mahātejā yuvanāśvo mahārathaḥ, yuvanāśvasutaḥ śrīmān māndhātā pṛthivīpatiḥ/ māndhātus tu sutaḥ śrīmān susamdhir udapadyata, susamdher api putrau dvau dhruvasamdhih prasenajit/ yasasvī dhruvasamdhes tu bharato nāma nāmatah, bharatāt tu mahātejā asito nāma jāvata/ saha tena garenaiva jātah sa sagaro 'bhayat, sagarasyāsamañjas tu asamañjād athāmsumān/ dilīpo 'msumatah putro dilīpasya bhagīrathah, bhagīrathāt kakutsthaś ca kakutsthasya raghus tathā/ raghos tu putras tejasvī prayrddhah purusādakah kalmāsapādo hy abhavat tasmāj jātas tu śankhanah/ sudarśanah śankhanasya agnivarnah sudarśanāt, śīghragas tv agnivarnasya śīghragasya maruh sutah/ maroh praśuśrukas tv āsīd ambarīsah praśuśrukāt, ambarīşasya putro 'bhūn nahuṣaḥ pṛthivīpatiḥ/ nahuṣasya yayātis tu nābhāgas tu yayātijaḥ, nābhāgasya bhabhūvāja ajād daśaratho 'bhavat, tasmād daśarathāj jātau bhrātarau rāmalakṣmaṇau/ ādivamsavisuddhānām rājñām paramadharminām, iksvākukulajātānām vīrānām satyavādinām, rāmalakṣmaṇayor arthe tvatsute varaye nṛpa, sadṛśābhyām naraśreṣṭha sadṛśe dātum arhasi/ As the yagina karya was concluded the next morning, King Janaka enquired of purohita Maharshi Shatananda about his younger brother Kushadhvaja the younger brother of King Janaka. (Kushadhvaja's wife was Chandrabhaga and daughters were Mandavi and Shrutakeerti subsequently married to Bharata and Shatrughna) Janaka stated that his brother was a noted warrior and a dharmaatma near the banks of river Ikshumati at Saankaashya Nagara defending the four sides with yantras. Then King Kushadhvaja was called for having been briefed about the happenings at the Mithila kingdom and meet King Janaka at the earliest. On Kushadhvaja's arrival, they desired to call on King Dasharatha at his State Guest House and despatched Janaka's Minister Sudaamana to King Dashratha with the request that King Janaka and his brother Kushadhwaja along with Sage Shatananda would desire to call on King Dasharatha. On their arrival after the exchange of pleasantries, King Dashraratha stated: viditam te mahārāja ikṣvākukuladaivatam, vaktā sarveṣu kṛtyeṣu vasiṣṭho bhagavān ṛṣiḥ/ viśvāmitrābhyanu- jñātaḥ saha sarvair maharsi -bhih, esa vaksvati dharmātmā vasistho me vathākramam/ As is well known, Ikshvaku kula devata is Maharshi Vasishtha and we always abide by his insructions; therefore we seek him to explain about Ikshvaku Vamsha parampara. Maharshi Vasishtha having taken the permission of Brahmarshi Vishvamitra explained as follows: Avyaktaprabhavo brahmā śāśvato nitva avyayah, tasmān marīcih samjajñe marīceh kaśyapah sutah/ vivasvān kaśyapāj jajñe manur vaivaisvatah smṛtah, manuh prajāpatih pūrvam iksvākus tu manoh sutah/ tam iksvākum ayodhyāyām rājānam viddhi pūrvakam, iksvākos tu sutah śrīmān vikuksir udapadyata/ Brahma Deva the Swayambhu manifested Marichi, from the latter was born Kashyapa whose son was Vivisvaan as the latter gave birth to Vaivasvata Manu. Manu was the foremost Prajapati and from Manu was born Ikshvaku the first King of Ayodhya. King Ikshvaku's son was Kukshi and the latter's som was Vikukshi. The valiant Vikukshi's son was the herioc Baana and Baana's son Anaranya who too was equally herioc. From Anaranya was born Prithu and in the further lineage of kings was born Trishankha. King Trishanka's son was Dhundhumaara. From Dhundhumara the lineage of Kings was born Yuvanaashva and Mandhata followed Yuvanaashva. Maandhata was the Bhumandala chakravarti. In the lineage of Mandhata followed Sugandhi, whose sons were Dhruvasandhi and Prasenajit. Dhruvasandhi's son was Bharata and the latter's son was Asita. The latter had constant enemity with Haihaya, Taalajangdha and Shashabindu. Subsequently, Asita retaining a small sena retired to Himalayas with his too wives in 'vaanaprastha ashrama.' It was known that the two wives of Asita since got pregnant at the time his death. One had an abortion and another was given poison. The latter who was named Kaalindi whose life long desire was to secure a lotus like eyes appoached Maharshi Chyavana the famed son of Bhrigu. The widow of Asita viz. Kaalindi was then assured by Chyavana Maharshi that she would soon secure a son but with poison in his stomach and not to worry. Kaalindi a pativrata was thus blessed by Chyavana Muni returned and eventually was blessed with a son as the Muni assured: saha tena gareṇaiva jātaḥ sa sagaro 'bhavat/ Further on to the King Sagara, the next line of progeny was of Asamanja-Amshumaan-Dilip-and **Bhagiratha**. ToBhagiratha, the

lineage continued with <u>Kakustha-Raghu-</u>Pravriddha who became a rakshasa unfortunately. Then followed Shangkhana- his son Sudarshana- his son Agnivarna- then Sheeghra- followed by Maru- then Pashu shruka- followed by <u>Ambareesha-Nahusha-Yayati-Naabhaga- Aja-and</u> **Dasharatha.** Vasishtha Maharshi then states: *Aadivamśaviśuddhānām rājñām paramadharminām, ikṣvākukulajātānām vīrāṇām satyavādinām, rāmalakṣmaṇayor arthe tvatsute varaye nṛpa, sadṛśābhyām naraśreṣṭha sadṛśe dātum arhasi/* The historical background of Ikshvaaku vamsha from the very beginning had been spotless and celebrated as the lineage of kings had been of virtue, herioc and truthful. It is from this lineage were born Shri Rama and Lakshmanas with whom the auspicious proposal is to wed your kanyas by way of Kanyaa daana!

Vishleshana on Ikshvaaku Vamsha [Refer to the Visleshana vide Sarga One above too]:

King Prithu picked up speedy popularity as he proved be an ideal and virtuous Administrator endeared by Maharshis and commoners alike. In course of time there were no problems owing to physical ailments, mental tensions and even of natural calamities in the Society. This was the first King ever who performed Rajasuya Yagna. It was this illustrious Emperor who controlled Bhumi (Earth); the latter took the Form of a Cow and sought to run away as was she was expected too much from her by various sections of the Universe. But Pruthu Chakravarti (literally he whose chariot wheels move forward swiftly without being interrupted by any opponent party) however chased and forced her to yield maximum milk to one and all in the form that they desired it. Pruthu himsel milked her having converted Swayambhu Manu as the calf and made her yield food grains to all, while in regime of Vena the staple food was of flowers and fruits. Various sections of the world milke the material as they desired; for instance, Rishis converted Chandra as a calf, Brihaspati as the milkman, Tapomaya Brahma as the milk and Vedas as the container to fill up the milk; Devatas made Indra as the calf, Surya as the milkman and 'Pushtikaahara' or healthy food as milk; Pitru Devatas requested Yamadharma Raja as the calf, Antaka Deva as the milk man and 'Swadha'as the milk; Nagas selected Takshaka as the calf, Iravata Serpent as the milkmen and Visha (Poison) as the milk; Asuras appointed Mathu Daitya as the milkman, Virochana as the calf and Maya (Illusions) as the milk; Yakshas preferred Kubera as the calf, Rajananaabha Yaksha as the milkman and 'Antardhaana Vidya' or the Art of Disappearance as the milk; similarly all other species selected their own Milkmen and calves and Gandharvas opted milk in the form of fragrance; Rakshasas opted for blood, Mountains preferred 'Aoushadhis' and soon thus satisfying every one in his governance! Manu Vivaswanta gave birth to ten sons including Ikshvaku, Saryati, Nabhaga and Prushaghna. Ikshwaku's lineage included Puranjaya/ Kakustha, Yuvanashra and Mandhata. **Puranjaya** fought a severe battle with Daityas on behalf of Devas by riding a Great Bull who actually was Indra himself by holding the Kakutsa or the hump of the bull thus obtaining the epithet of Kakutsa or Indravahana!King Yuvanashra perforned a noted Yagna targetting Indra Deva to secure a son. During the Sacrifice days, he felt very thirsty one midnight in the Yagna Shaala and drank up the 'Mantra Jala' or the Sanctified Water kept in a vessel. The Rishis performing the Yagna were aghast to find the vessel empty next morning as the King drank up the Sacred Water. Eventually, the King got conceived instead of his Queen and a male child came out fromhis abdomen which had to be cut. The cried for milk and Indra put his index finger in the child's mouth and saved him! The boy thus born was Mandhata, the undisputed Emperor of the World comprising Seven Dwipas 'from where Sun rose at where it was set!' He was stated to have discovered Manasa Sarovara on Mount Kailasha was he was reputed to have performed Tapas at the banks of the Lake. It was believed that there was a Serpent Mansion where the Emperor prayed under a Jamun Tree from which its fruits (Blackberry) dropped into the Sarovar making the sounds of 'Jam' and the area underneath the Sarovara was called Jambu Dwipa! Mandhata's wife Bindumati was a pious woman and gave birth to Purukutsa and Muchukunda and fifty daughters. There was an interesting Story about the daughters. Sage Saubhari a very old and diseased person who did Tapasya under water for twelve years noticed that fishes in water were having sex and procreating; the Muni got tempted and approached Mandhata to let any of his daughters marry him. The Emperor was afraid that the Sage might give a 'Shaap' if declined and asked that anybody among the daughters was prepared to marry the Sage; none consented as the Sage was very old and disgusting physically with diseases. Mandhata had a problem but

cleverly replied that his family custom was that all the daughters would have to wed the same person and none should disagree. The Sage transformed himself into a handsome youth by his mystical powers and presented himself. All the girls vied with each other to marry him and the youthful Sage built mansions and all of them enjoyed. But in course of time, the Sage realised that on account of the fishes in the water, his spiritual life was ruined and although very late in life reverted back to a more introspective life and intensified devotion to Vishnu. Purukutsa married Narmada the sister of Serpent brothers and she took him away to Rasatala the sub-terrain world under instruction from King Vasuki as approved by Bhagavan Vishnu to overpower Gandharvas who invaded Rasatala and other Patala Lokas. Nagas were afraid of Gandharvas as some six crores of the latter descended there for hunting the priceless 'Ratnas' / Jewels. Nagas sought protection and prayed to Vishnu in desperation. Indeed Purukutsa succeeded and Nagas gave a boon to Narmada that whosoever bathed in River Narmada by reciting a Shloka would be safe from Sarpa- Visha or Snake- Poison; the Shloka states: Narmadaayai Namah Praatarnamaadaayai Namo Nisha, Namostu Narmadey tubhyam traahimaam vishasarpatah/ (Devi Narmada! My salutations to you in the day or night; kindly safeguard me from the fear of Serpents and their poisonous bites!) This recitation while entering dark places as also while eating food would safeguard from any kind of poisons thanks to Purukutsa and Narmada! Nahusha who was also in the lineage of Pururava had the distinction of peforming ninety nine Ashwamedha Yagnas and was nearly qualified to become Indra who should have executed hundred Yagnas. Meanwhile there was a temoporary vacancy of Indratwa since Indra fled away since he killed Vritrasura with the help of the Vajrayudha made out of Sage Dadhichis's backbone; Vritrasura who was a Brahmana by birth and Brahma Hatya Sin chased Indra. Brahma thus appointed Nahusha as temporary Indra. Nahusha who was originally a King of Great Virtue bacame arrogant and power-mongering as he became Indra and claimed all the privileges belonging to Indra like Vajrayudha, Iravata the Elephant and even Indra's wife Sachi Devi. Nahusha insisted that Sachi Devi be his keep! Sachi Devi was non-plussed at this proposal. As advised by Deva Guru Brihaspati, she asked Nahusha to come to her residence but he should do so just as Indra was in the habit of arriving at her residence by a Palki (Palanquin) which actually was carried by Maharshis. Nahusha was excited to reach her Palace quickly and having got into the palanquin commanded Agastya Muni to reach him to Sachi Devi's Place at once; he said 'Sarpa Sarpa' meaning 'Quick, Quick' and in the process gave a kick to the Muni to go fast. Asgastya purposively misunderstood the word and converted the arrogant Nahusha as an Ajagara (Python) and dropped the latter to the depths of Bhuloka into thick forests. As a repentant Nahusha begged of clemency, the Maharshi granted a reprieve that the 'Shaapa Vimochana' would be possible only when Pandavas reached the forest for twelve long years before their 'Ajnaata Vasa' or Unknown Destiny having lost a bet in the 'Maya Juda' or wilful game of chess. As Draupadi desired to secure a Sugandhika Flower Bheema got into a pond and the Ajagara caught him and agreed to release him only if he gave correct replies to the Serpent's queries. Yudhishtara had to arrive and release Bhima and Nahusha alike. Meanwhile Brihaspati and Agastya found that Indra was hiding in a lotus stem in Mana Sarovara Lake and brought him back and prayed to Brahma who exonerated Nahusha from the Brahma Hatya Sin on the ground that Vitra was no boubt a Brahmana but committed sins of killing several virtuous and innocents. Yayati, the son of Nahusha and his wife Viraja, was a famed Emperor who defeated all the Kings of the World and married Devayani the daughter of Asura Guru Shukracharya, besides Sharmishtha the daughter of Vishvaparva, a Rakshasa King. Indra was pleased to gift Yayati a Divine Chariot with seven powerful horses with which he traversed the world and divided his Empire into seven divisions to distribute it among five of his sons. A Maharshi gave a boon that if any of his sons could agree to exchange their youth to his old age then he could secure a fresh lease of youth. His eldest son Yadu from Devayani refused and so did others excepting Sharmishtha's son Puru who readily agreed. Yayati took over Puru's youth and enabled him travel around to unravel earthly pleasures for long. But finally returned discovering that the ephemeral joys of the world were endless like Agni in a Homa kunda assuming larger and larger proportions as long as ghee is served and no human would be satisfied with food, gold, ornaments or women. By so realising, he returned his youth to Puru and took to Vanaprastha or retirement.

Sarga Seventy One

Evam bruvāṇam janakah pratyuvāca kṛtāñjalih, śrotum arhasi bhadram te kulam nah kīrtitam param/ pradāne hi muniśrestha kulam niravaśesatah, vaktavyam kulajātena tan nibodha mahāmune/rājābhūt trisu lokesu viśrutah svena karmanā, nimih paramadharmātmā sarvasattvavatām varah/ tasya putro mithir nāma janako mithi putrakah, prathamo janako nāma janakād apy udāvasuļ/ udāvasos tu dharmātmā jāto vai nandivardhanah, nandivardhana putras tu suketur nāma nāmataḥ/ suketor api dharmātmā devarāto mahābalah, devarātasva rājarser brhadratha iti śrutah/ brhadrathasva śūro 'bhūn mahāvīrah pratāpavān, mahāvīrasya dhrtimān sudhrtih satyavikramah/ sudhrter api dharmātmā dhṛstaketuh sudhārmikah, dhṛstaketos tu rājarser haryaśva iti viśrutah/ haryaśvasya maruh putro maroh putrah pratīndhakah, pratīndhakasya dharmātmā rājā kīrtirathah sutah/ putrah kīrtirathasyāpi devamīdha iti smrtah, devamīdhasya vibudho vibudhasya mahīdhrakah/ mahīdhrakasuto rājā kīrtirāto mahābalah, kīrtirātasya rājarser mahāromā vyajāyata/ mahāromņas tu dharmātmā svarņaromā vyajāya, svarņaromņas tu rājarser hrasvaromā vyajāyata/ tasya putradvayam jajñe dharmajñasya mahātmanaḥ, įvestho 'ham anujo bhrātā mama vīrah kuśadhvajah/ tasva putradvavam jajñe dharmajñasva mahātmanaḥ, jyeṣṭho 'ham anujo bhrātā mama vīraḥ kuśadhvajaḥ/vṛddhe pitari svaryāte dharmeṇa dhuram āvaham, bhrātaram devasamkāśam snehāt paśyan kuśadhvajam/ kasya cit tv atha kālasya sāmkāśyād agamat purāt, sudhanvā vīryavān rājā mithilām avarodhakah/ sa ca me presayām āsa śaivam dhanur anuttamam, sītā kanyā ca padmāksī mahyam vai dīyatām iti/ tasyāpradānād brahmarse yuddham āsīn mayā saha, sa hato 'bhimukho rājā sudhanvā tu mayā rane/ nihatya tam muniśresṭha sudhanvānam narādhipam, sāmkāśve bhrātaram śūram abhvasiñcam kuśadhvajam/ kanīyān esa me bhrātā aham jyeştho mahāmune, dadāmi paramaprīto vadhvau te munipumgava/ sītām rāmāya bhadram te ūrmilām laksmanāya ca, veerya śulkām mama sutām sītām surasutopamām/ dvitīyām ūrmilām caiva trir vadāmi na samsayah, dadāmi paramaprīto vadhvau te raghunandana/ rāmalaksmanayo rājan godānam kārayasva ha, pitrkāryam ca bhadram te tato vaivāhikam kuru/ maghā hy adya mahābāho trtīve divase prabho, phalgunyām uttare rājams tasmin vaivāhikam kuru, rāmalaksmanayor arthe dānam kāryam sukhodayam/

Maharshi Vasishtha had thus detailed the highlights of Ikshvaaku Vamsha and requested to do so in respect of the Janaka vamsha too briefly as he stated that when the background of both the familes would be of interest to know while alliance be mutually forged. King Janaka responded smilingly: In the days of yore there was a renowned King Nimi [pl refer to Sarga Sixty Six above for Vishneshana on Nimi and Vasishtha] who had a son named Mithi whose son being Janaka the ever first Janaka as our 'vamsha' known as of Janakas. That original Janaka had a son named 'Udaavasuka'. To the latter was born 'Nandivardhana' who gave birth to valiant warrior named 'Suketu'. To Suketu who was a dharmatma and Rajarshi was born 'Devaratha'. To the latter was born 'Maha Vira' the gallant. To Maha Vira was born a 'satya parakrami' son named 'Sudhruti' from whom was born 'Dhisthaketu'. Dharmatma Dhrishtaketu was a Rajarshi too and his son was a popular King named 'Haryasva'. Haryasva's son was 'Maru' while Maru's son was 'Prateendhaka'. 'Keertiratha' was the son of Prateendhaka, and his son was 'Deva meedha' who was a very popular Raja. Then in the further lineage were 'Bibudha', 'Mahidhraka', 'Keertiraata', 'Maharoma', Rajarshi 'Swarnaroma', 'Hrasvaroma'. Tasya putradvayam jajñe dharmajñasya mahātmanah, jyestho 'ham anujo bhrātā mama vīrah kuśadhvajah/tasya putradvayam jajñe dharmajñasya mahātmanah, jyestho 'ham anujo bhrātā mama vīrah kuśadhvajah/ Dharmagjna Raja Hrasvaroma had two sons, the elder being myself, the younger one being the most popular 'Kusha dhwaja'. In course of time, a neighbouly King named Sudhanva of Sankashya Nagar attacked us demanding Shiva Dhanush as also Devi Sita my daughter. As the battle became fierce, Sudhanva was killed from my hands. Then my brother Kushadhvaja was made the King eversince. kanīyān eşa me bhrātā aham įvestho mahāmune, dadāmi paramaprīto vadhvau te munipumgava/ sītām rāmāya bhadram te ūrmilām laksmanāya ca, veerya śulkām mama sutām sītām surasutopamām/ dvitīyām ūrmilām caiva trir vadāmi na samśayah, dadāmi paramaprīto vadhvau te raghunandana/ Maha Muni Vasishtha! This Kushadhvaja my younger brother is desirous of getting his two daughters too to King Dashratha's two

other sons viz. Bharata and Shatrughna too. <u>I am dedicating here by Kumari Sita to Kumara Rama-Kumari Urmila to Kumara Lakshmana; my brother Kushadhvaja would like wise his daughters to Bharata Shatrughnas, Mandaveeka and Shutakeerti.</u> Thereafter, Maharshi Vasishtha declared that let 'Go daana' be performed by the Rama Lakshmanas as also 'Naandimukha' and three days hence during the Uttara Phalguni Nakshatra the auspicious 'vivaha' be performed.

Sarga Seventy Two

Tam uktavantam vaideham viśvāmitro mahāmunih, uvāca vacanam vīram vasisthasahito nrpam/ acintyāny aprameyāni kulāni narapumgava, iksvākūnām videhānām naisām tulyo 'sti kaś cana/ sadršo dharmasambandhah sadrso rūpasampada, rāmalaksmanayo rājan sītā cormilayā saha/ vaktavyam na naraśrestha śrūyatām vacanam mama, bhrātā yavīyān dharmajña esa rājā kuśadhvajah/ asya dharmātmano rājan rūpeṇāpratimam bhuvi, sutā dvayam naraśrestha patnyartham varayāmahe/ bharatasya kumārasya śatrughnasya ca dhīmataḥ, varayema sute rājams tayor arthe mahātmanoḥ/ putrā daśarathasyeme rūpayauyanaśālinah, lokapālopamāh sarve devatulyaparākramāh/ ubhayor api rājendra sambandhenānubadhyatām, ikṣvākukulam avyagram bhavataḥ puṇyakarmaṇaḥ/ viśvāmitravacaḥ śrutvā vasiṣṭhasya mate tadā, janakaḥ prāñjalir vākyam uvāca munipumgavau/ sadrśam kulasambandham yad ājñāpayathah svayam, evam bhavatu bhadram vah kuśadhvajasute ime, patnyau bhajetām sahitau śatrughnabharatāv ubhau/ekāhnā rājaputrīnām catasīnām mahāmune, pānīn grhņantu catvāro rājaputrā mahābalāh/ uttare divase brahman phalgunībhyām manīṣiṇaḥ, vaivāhikam praśamsanti bhago yatra prajāpatih/ evam uktvā vacah saumyam pratyutthāya kṛtāñjalih, ubhau munivarau rājā janako vākyam abravīt/ paro dharmaḥ kṛto mahyaṁ śiṣyo 'smi bhavatoḥ sadā imāny āsanamukhyāni āsetām munipumgavau/ yathā daśarathasyeyam tathāyodhyā purī mama, prabhutve nāsit samdeho yathārham kartum arhathah/ tathā bruvati vaidehe janake raghunandanah, rājā daśaratho hṛṣṭah pratyuvāca mahīpatim/ yuvām asamkhyeya gunau bhrātarau mithileśvarau, ṛṣayo rājasamghāś ca bhavadbhyām abhipūjitāh/ svasti prāpnuhi bhadram te gamişyāmi svam ālayam, śrāddhakarmāṇi sarvāṇi vidhāsya iti cābravīt/ tam āprstvā narapatim rājā daśarathas tadā, munīndrau tau puraskṛtya jagāmāśu mahāyaśāh/ sa gatvā nilayam rājā śrāddham krtvā vidhānatah, prabhāte kālyam utthāya cakre godānam uttamam/ gavām satasahasrāni brāhmanebhyo narādhipah, ekaikaso dadau rājā putrān uddhisya dharmataḥ/suvarṇaśṛṅgāḥ sampannāḥ savatsāḥ kāmsyadohanāḥ, gavām śatasahasrāṇi catvāri purusarsabhah/ vittam anyac ca subahu dvijebhyo raghunandanah, dadau godānam uddiśya putrānām putravatsalah/ sa sutaih krtagodānair vrtaš ca nrpatis tadā, lokapālair ivābhāti vrtah saumyah prajāpatiḥ/

King Janaka along with Maharshi Vaishtha and Brahnarshi Vishvamitra addressed King Dasharatha stating that both the Ikshvaaku and Videha Kingdoms be blessed as they both are the singular examples of Dharma and Nyaya. To establish firm links of both the Kingdoms, the weddings of Devis Urmila and Sita with Lakshmana and Rama be celebrated now. King Janaka further declared that on behalf of my younger brother King Kushadhwaja seated beside me, may I declare Devis Mandavi and Shrutakeerti to Bharata and Shatrughna respectively be wedded too. Ekāhnā rājaputrīṇām cataṣṛṇām mahāmune, pāṇīn grhnantu catvāro rājaputrā mahābalāh/ uttare divase brahman phalgunībhyām manīsinah, vaivāhikam praśamsanti bhago yatra prajāpatih/ Janaka further stated: may all the four Raja Kumaras be wedded on the same day. Happily two days hence, both Purva Phalguni and Uttara Phalguni Nakshatras would be arriving one after another and at those most auspicious timings may the formal weddings be celebrated! As King Janaka concluded, both the Maharshis Vasihtha amd Vishvamitra said: yathā daśarathasyeyam tathāyodhyā purī mama, prabhutve nāsit samdeho yathārham kartum arhathah/ Just as King Dasharatha of Ayodhya is dear to us, so is King Janaka of Mithila. May both the Kings be pleased with both of us the Maharshis. Then King Dasharatha relpied: svasti prāpnuhi bhadram te gamisyāmi svam ālayam, śrāddhakarmāni sarvāni vidhāsya iti cābravīt/May you King Janaka reap continuous goodwill and best wishes for auspiciousness all around; then the Maharshis proceeded for the subsequent praparations. Next morning, King Dasharatha performed a lakh go daanas to Brahamanas formally, and invited all the four sons endearingly and blessed them embracingly.

Sarga Seventy Three

Yasmims tu divase rājā cakre godānam uttamam, tasmims tu divase śūro yudhājit samupeyivān/ putrah kekayarājasya sāksād bharatamātulah, drstvā prstvā ca kuśalam rājānam idam abravīt/ kekayādhipatī rājā snehāt kuśalam abravīt, yesām kuśalakāmo 'si tesām sampraty anāmayam/ svasrīyam mama rājendra drastukāmo mahīpate, tadartham upayāto 'ham ayodhyām raghunandana/ śrutvā tv aham ayodhyāyām vivāhārtham tavātmajān, mithilām upayātās tu tvayā saha mahīpate, tvarayābhupayāto 'ham drastukāmah svasuh sutam/ atha rājā daśarathah priyātithim upasthima, drstvā paramasatkāraih pūjārham samapūjayat/ tatas tām uṣito rātrim saha putrair mahātmabhiḥ, ṛṣīms tadā puraskṛtya yajñavāṭam upāgamat/ yukte muhūrte vijaye sarvābharaṇabhūṣitaiḥ, bhrātṛbhiḥ sahito rāmaḥ krtakautukamangalah/ vasistham puratah krtyā maharsīn aparān api, rājā raśaratho rājan kṛtakautukamaṅgalaiḥ, putrair naravaraśreṣṭha dātāram abhikāṅkṣate/ dāṭṛpratigrahīṭṛbhyām sarvārthāḥ prabhavanti hi, svadharmam pratipadyasva krtvā vaivāhyam uttamam/ ity uktaḥ paramodāro vasisthena mahātmanā, pratyuvāca mahātejā vākyam paramadharmavit/ kah sthitah pratihāro me kasyājñā sampratīksyate, svagrhe ko vicāro 'sti yathā rājyam idam tava' kṛtakautukasarvasvā vedimūlam upāgatāḥ, mama kanyā muniśreṣṭha dīptā vahner ivārciṣah/ sajjo 'haṁ tvatpratīks/ vedyām asyām pratishitaḥ, avighnam kurutām rājā kimartham hi vilambyate/tadvākyam janakenoktam śrutvā daśarathas tadā, praveśayām āsa sutān sarvān ṛṣiganān api/abravīj janako rājā kausalyānanda vardhanam, iyam sītā mama sutā sahadharmacarī tava, pratīccha cainām bhadram te pānim grhnīsva pāninā/laksmanāgaccha bhadram te ūrmilām udvatām mayā, pratīccha pānim grhnīsva mā bhūt kālasya paryayah/ tam evam uktvā janako bharatam cābhyabhāsata, grhāna pānim māndavyāh pāninā raghunandana/ śatrughnam cāpi dharmātmā abravīj janakeśvarah, śrutakīrtyā mahābāho pānim gṛḥṇīṣva pāṇinā/ sarve bhavantaḥ saṃyāś ca sarve sucaritavratāḥ, patnībhiḥ santu kākutsthā mā bhūt kālasva parvavah/ janakasva vacah śrutvā pānīn pānibhir aspršan, catvāras te catasrnām vasisthasva mate sthitāh/ agnim pradaksinam krtvā vedim rājānam eva ca, rsīms caiva mahātmānah saha bhārvā raghūttamāḥ, yathoktena tathā cakrur vivāham vidhipūrvakam/ puṣpavṛṣṭir mahaty āsīd antarikṣāt subhāsvarā, divyadundubhinirghosair gītavāditranisvanaih/ nanrtuś cāpsarahsamghā gandharvāś ca jaguh kalam, vivāhe raghumukhyānām tadadbhutam ivābhavat/īdr'se vartamāne tu tūryodghustaninādite, trir agnim te parikramya ühur bhāryā mahaujasah/ athopakāryām jagmus te sadārā raghunandanah, rājāpy anuvayau paśyan sarsisamghah sabāndhavah/

On the wedding morning, Bharat Kumara's maternal uncle the King of Kaikeya desha arrived and King Dashratha was happy; Kaikeya was appropriately introduced to King Janaka. Initiating the wedding ceremony earrly morning, King Janaka with Maharshis ahead entered the Yagina shaala and waited for the precise time of auspiciousness. vukte muhūrte vijave sarvābharanabhūsitaih, bhrātrbhih sahito rāmah kṛtakautukamangalaḥ/As per the scheduled time, Shri Rama led by King Dasharatha arrived in full and visually arresting dresses along with his brothers at the wedding vedika. Vasishtha Maharshi along with a select group of Munis approached Videharaja Janaka and asked him to extend the 'vaivahika bandhana rupa mangalaacharana' or the symbolic sacred thread of wedding for tying and await the mutual bride grooms and brides to position themselves. Vasishtha further instructed both the Kings then:dātṛpratigrahītṛbhyām sarvārthāḥ prabhavanti hi, svadharmam pratipadyasva kṛtvā vaivāhyam uttamam/ The act of 'kanya daana' be concluded between both the parties of brides and bridegrooms together to perform their respective responsibilities and obligations. The vivahika vedika was got ready befitting the status and magnificence of two great Kings with splashed decoration of fresh and fragrant flowers emanating sweetness all around. At the center of the stage, a raised platform embellished with sparkling kalashas-pancha patras, golden pots of ghee, honey, panchamritas, fresh fruits, vessels and plates of gold studded with precious and prized stones of variety sizes and of thick-thin combinations,

akshatas, kushas, scented sticks, plentiful dhupa-deepas and a huge homa kunda with never ending flames. abravīj janako rājā kausalyānanda vardhanam, iyam sītā mama sutā sahadharmacarī tava, pratīccha cainām bhadram te pāṇim grhnīṣva pāṇinā/Then Janaka welcomed Devi Sita as she was heavily dressed with silks and ornaments and got seated before full flames of the 'Homa kunda' and beside her was Shri Rama who richly enhanced the blissful joy his mother Devi Koushalya. Then King Janaka addressed Shri Rama stating: May you be with unending flow of auspiciousness and welfare! Here with I am dedicating my dear daughter Sita as your 'saha dharma charini' the Life Partner. She is blessed to be famed as a 'maha pativrata' as your true shadow. Then the entire audience of rishis, co kings, select dignitaries of Mithila and other kingdoms blessed the couple with a big 'tathaastu' or 'so be it'. It appeared that celestials from the skies too joined the chorus. Then King Janaka addressed 'Lakshmana' and stated that he was gifting Devi Urmila at his service for kind acceptance and place your palms with hers for ever. Janaka further addressed 'Bharata' and extended the tender palms of Mandaveeka to kindly extend his strong palms too. Subsequently, the Mithilaadhipati Janaka addressed 'Shatrughna' and handed over Srutakeerti. Puspavṛṣṭir mahaty āsīd antarikṣāt subhāsvarā, divvadundubhinirghosair gītavāditranisvanaih/ nanrtuś cāpsarahsaṃghā gandharvāś ca jaguh kalam, vivāhe raghumukhyānām tadadbhutam ivābhavat/At that time there were heavy floral showers from high skies extending fragrances all over, celestial sounds of drums, singings, and sonorous musical intruments were heard, as the respective newly weds circumambulated the vedika with the guests of honour.

Sarga Seventy Four

Atha rātryām vyatītāyām viśvāmitro mahāmunih, āprcchya tau ca rājānau jagāmottaraparvatam viśvāmitro gate rājā vaideham mithilādhipam, āprcchyātha jagāmāśu rājā daśarathah purīm atha rājā videhānām dadau kanyādhanam bahu, gavām śatasahasrāni bahūni mithileśvarah/ kambalānām ca mukhyānām kṣaumakoṭyambarāṇi ca, hastyaśvarathapādātam divyarūpam svalamkrtam/ dadau kanyā pitā tāsām dāsīdāsam anuttamam, hiranyasya suvarnasya muktānām vidrumasya ca/ dadau paramasamhrstah kanyādhanam anuttamam, dattyā bahudhanam rājā samanujñāpya pārthiyam/ praviveśa svanilayam mithilām mithileśvaraḥ, rājāpy ayodhyādhipatiḥ saha putrair mahātmabhiḥ/ ṛṣīn sarvān puraskrtya jagāma sabalānugah, gacchantam tu naravyāghram sarsisamgham sarāghavam/ ghorāh sma paksino vāco vyāharanti tatas tatah, bhaumāś caiva mrgāh sarve gacchanti sma pradaksinam/ tān drstvā rājaśārdūlo vasistham paryaprechata, asaumyāh paksino ghorā mrgāś cāpi pradaksināh, kim idam hṛdayotkampi mano mama visīdati/ rājño daśarathasyaitac chrutvā vākyam mahān ṛṣiḥ, uvāca madhurām vāṇīm śrūyatām asya yat phalam/ upasthitam bhayam ghoram divyam pakşimukhāc cyutam, mṛgāh praśamayanty ete samtāpas tyajyatām ayam/ ta teṣām samvadatām tatra vāyuḥ prādur babhūva ha, kampayan medinīm sarvām pātayams ca drumāñ subhān/ tamasā samvṛtaḥ sūryah sarvā na prababhur diśah, bhasmanā cāvrtam sarvam sammūdham iva tad balam/ vasistha rsayaś cānve rājā ca sasutas tadā, sasamiñā iva tatrāsan sarvam anvad vicetanam/ tasmims tamasi ghore tu bhasmacchanneva sā camūḥ, dadarśa bhīmasamkāśam jaṭāmaṇḍaladhāriṇam/kailāsam iva durdharṣam kālāgnim iva duhsaham, įvalantam iva tejobhir durnirīksyam pṛthagjanail/ skandhe cāsajya paraśum dhanur vidyudganopamam, pragrhya śaramukhyam ca tripuraghnam yathā haram/ tam dṛstvā bhīmasamkāśam įvalantam iva pāvakam, vasisthapramukhā viprā japahomaparāyanāh, samgatā munayah sarve samjajalpur atho mithah/ kaccit pitrvadhāmarsī kṣatram notsādayiṣyati, pūrvam kşatravadham krtvā gatamanyur gatajvarah, kşatrasyotsādanam bhūyo na khalv asya cikīrşitam/ evam uktvārghyam ādāya bhārgavam bhīmadarśanam, rṣayo rāma rāmeti madhurām vācam abruvan/ pratigṛhya tu tām pūjām ṛṣidattām pratāpavān, rāmam dāśarathim rāmo jāmadagnyo 'bhyabhāṣata/

After the memorable wedding festivities concluded on the previous day, the next morning Brahmarshi Vishvamitra informed the Kings Dasharatha and Janaka left for tapasya to the peaks of Himalayas and King Dasharatha too solicited to return back with his entourage. King Janaka gifted lakhs of cows,

valuable silks, ornaments, elephants, horses, chariots, and foot soldiers. With a view to serving the newly wed devis presently retained with their husbands for some more weeks, he gifted hundreds of servants and servant maids in addition to which a crore of 'swarna mudras', 'rajata mudras', pearls and other nine gems aplenty as 'kanyaadana' or dowry. Just before the departure of King Dasharatha and his entourage, they all felt uneasy omens of inauspiciousness in the air. Huge and frightful sky birds with sounds of shrill squeaks were hovering on the nearby skylines, shrill sounds resounding from nearby forest animals, and such 'apashakunas' or premonitional warning were pronounced. Even so, gales of dust storms broke off and darkness surrounded. Then King Dasharatha visioned a frightening arrival: dadarśa bhīmasamkāśam jatāmandaladhārinam/ kailāsam iva durdharsam kālāgnim iva duhsaham, jvalantam iva tejobhir durnirīksyam pṛthagjanaih/ skandhe cāsajya paraśum dhanur vidyudganopamam, pragrhya śaramukhyam ca tripuraghnam yathā haram/ He broke out the news that Parashu Rama the son of Bhrigukula Jamadagni Maharshi and the great destroyer of Kshatriya Vamsha was about to enter Mithila of the Kingdom of Janaka, with frightful countenance and hanging shrub like matted hairs like 'Kaalaagni' or the flames of death. He was carrying his 'parashu' or the mighty axe with which he fulfilled his dreadful revenge of uprooting the kshatriya vamsha. kaccit pitrvadhāmarsī ksatram notsādayişyati, pūrvam kṣatravadham kṛtvā gatamanyur gatajvaraḥ, kṣatrasyotsādanam bhūyo na khalv asya cikīrṣitam/ Maharshi Vasishtha queried: 'Does Parashu Rama still recall his 'pratigjna' or universal declaration of dig up and evacuate Kshatriya vamsha once again! As Vasishtha stated thus, both the Kings of Ayodhya and Mithila were non plussed with fright shivering before the flames about to engulf them all. Evam uktvārghyam ādāya bhārgavam bhīmadarśanam, ṛṣayo rāma rāmeti madhurām vācam abruvan/ pratigrhya tu tām pūjām rsidattām pratāpavān, rāmam dāśarathim rāmo jāmadagnyo 'bhyabhāsata/ On his arrival, Parashu Rama was atonce served with 'arghya' or cool water to wash his feet and drink by Rishis, he merely uttered: 'Rama Rama!:,

Sarga Seventy Five

Rāma dāśarathe vīra vīryam te śrūyate 'dhutam, dhanuşo bhedanam caiva nikhilena mayā śrutam/ tad adbhutam acintyam ca bhedanam dhanuşas tvayā, tac chrutvāham anuprāpto dhanur gṛhyāparam śubham/ tad idam ghorasamkāśam jāmadagnyam mahad dhanuḥ, pūrayasva śareṇaiva svabalam darśayasva ca/ tad aham te balam dṛṣṭvā dhanuṣo 'sya prapūraṇe dvandvayuddham pradāsyāmi vīryaślāghyam idam tava/

Dasharadha nandana Shri Rama! Veera! It is heard that your courage and fame are second to none! You seem to have lifted up and broken down the mighty and incredible 'Shiva Dhanush'! Having been informed thus, I have now brought this another 'dhanush'. This is the ever frightful and invincible 'Parashu Rama Dhanush'. I seek you to draw it straight, and arrange the arrow perfectly and exhibit your valor and capability.

Tasya tadvacanam śrutvā rājā daśarataḥs tadā, viṣaṇṇavadano dīnaḥ prāñjalir vākyam abravīt/kṣatraroṣāt praśāntas tvam brāhmaṇasya mahāyaśāḥ, bālānām mama putrāṇām abhayam dātum arhasi/bhārgavāṇām kule jātaḥ svādhyāyavrataśālinām, sahasrākṣe pratijñāya śastram nikṣiptavān asi/sa tvam dharmaparo bhūtvā kāśyapāya vasumdharām, dattvā vanam upāgamya mahendrakṛtaketanaḥ/mama sarvavināśāya samprāptas tvam mahāmune, na caikasmin hate rāme sarve jīvāmahe vayam/

As Parashurama thus challenged Shri Rama, King Dasharatha intervened at once to say: Maha Bhargava! You are glorious in the entire universe that having born to the highest tradition of Brahmanatva, performed swaadyaaya of vedas, outstanding penances, you have accomplished climactic stature/ Yet by the force of circumstances, punished Kshatriya Kings as a race and wiped out their traces but now have pardoned them eventually. But now having taken now to 'astra sanyasa', why ought you be unkind to only to Rama and in the unfortunate even of his failure, generations of us all would have to end our lives!

Bruvaty evam daśarathe jāmadagnyaḥ pratāpavān, anādṛtyaiva tad vākyam rāmam evābhyabhāṣata/ As King Dasharatha stated in a highly entreating tone, Parasurama ignored the King and continued in highly heckling tone to Shri Rama as though what he had perfomed was not a miraculous act of breaking down Shiva Dhanush but a sheer fluke or an accidental stroke of chance!

Thus Parushu Rama tauntingly continued as follows: ime dve dhanuşī śresthe divye lokābhiviśrute, dṛḍhe balavatī mukhye sukrte viśvakarmaṇā/ atisrṣṭam surair ekam tryambakāya yuyutsave, tripuraghnam naraśrestha bhagnam kākutsha yat tvayā/idam dvitīyam durdharṣam viṣṇor dattam surottamaiḥ, samānasāram kākutstha raudrena dhanusā tv idam/ tadā tu devatāh sarvāh prechanti sma pitāmaham, śitikanthasya vişnoś ca balābalanirīkṣayā/ abhiprāyam tu vijñāya devatānām pitāmahaḥ, virodham janayām āsa tayoh satyavatām varah/ virodhe ca mahad yuddham abhavad romaharsanam, śitikaṇṭhasya viṣṇoś ca parasparajayaiṣiṇoḥ/ tadā taj jṛmbhitam śaivam dhanur bhīmaparākramam, humkārena mahādevah stambhito 'tha trilocanah/ devais tadā samāgamya sarsisamghaih sacāranaih, yācitau praśamam tatra jagmatus tau surottamau/ jṛmbhitam tad dhanur dṛṣṭvā śaivam visnuparākramaih, adhikam menire visnum devāh sarsiganās tadā/ dhanū rudras tu samkruddho videheşu mahāyaśāh,devarātasya rājarşer dadau haste sasāyakam/ idam ca viṣṇavam rāma dhanuh parapuramjayam, rcīke bhārgave prādād viṣṇuḥ sa nyāsam uttamam/ rcīkas tu mahātejāḥ putrasyāpratikarmanah, pitur mama dadau divyam jamadagner mahātmanah/ nyastaśastre pitari me tapobalasamanvite, arjuno vidadhe mrtyum prākrtām buddhim āsthitah/ vadham apratirūpam tu pituh śrutvā sudāruņam, kṣatram utsādayam roṣāj jātam jātam anekaśaḥ/ pṛthivīm cākhilām prāpya kāśyapāya mahātmane, yajñasyānte tadā rāma dakṣiṇām puṇyakarmaṇe/ dattvā mahendranilayas tapobalasamanvitaḥ, śrutavān dhanuṣo bhedam tato 'ham drutam āgataḥ/ tad idam vaiṣṇavam rāma pitrpaitāmaham mahat, kṣatradharmam puraskṛtya gṛḥṇīṣva dhanuruttamam/ yojayasva dhanuḥ śreṣṭḥe śaram parapuramjayam, yadi śaknosi kākutstha dvandvam dāsyāmi te tah/

Raghunandana! These our the two supreme and celestial pieces of dhanush; Devatas have been in admiration of their invincibility. Vishvakarma the heavenly engineer himself construcetd it as of the strongest and impossible unbreakability. One of these was awarded to Maha Deva Shankara in connection with Tripuraasura and that was what 'Shiva Dhanush' which he had been proudly and arrogantly broken by you. And the second dhanush had been in my hands which was dedicated with humility by groups of Devas to Maha Vishnu used in a series of encounters against the most heinous Danava- Daitya-Rakshasaas gloried as 'Vaishnava Dhanush'. Try to learn and recall that once all the Devas headed by Indra once approached Brahma Deva to assess whether Shiva or Vishnu was more powerful and mightier. Then Brahma created a rift between the two and in a mutual warfare Vishnu due to his mere possession of the Vishnu dhanush made a mere 'humkara' as the Trinetradhaari Shiva was stilled with awe. Then the angry Shiva out of frustration threw his dhanush off and Videha desha Rajarshi Devarata held it and did daily veneration for generations. On the other hand, Bhagavan Vishnu having been pleased with Bhrigu vamshi Rucheeka Muni gifted this Vishnu Dhanush; it was from Maharshi Jamadagni my immortal father that this Vishnu Dhanush had come into my possession eversince. Mahatma Jamadagni having discarded astra-shastras took to intense tapasya having built an ashram and was eventually killed by King Kartaveeryarjuna owing to materialistic obsessions. On learning about the murder of my father by the King, I returned from my penances and avenged Kshatriyas as a race by killing them several times. There after having earned the overlortship of the entire 'prithvi', I performed a 'maha yagina' and donated the prithvi as dakshina to Kashyapa Muni. Having given the prithvi daana thus have retired to Mahendra Mountain for tapasya everthereafter. Having heard of the destruction of Shiva Dhanush from my celestial vision, have hurried back to the brave young hero here aling with Vishna Dhanush too. Tad idam vaiṣṇavam rāma pitṛpaitāmaham mahat, kṣatradharmam puraskṛtya gṛhṇīṣva dhanuruttamam/ yojayasva dhanuh śresthe śaram parapuramjayam, yadi śaknosi kākutstha dvandvam dāsyāmi te tah/ Rama! I have thus brought the Maha Vishnu Dhanush reviving my 'kshaatra dhrama' and if you were to succeed in straigtening this dhanush with arrows, then I might give you the opportunity of a mutual duel thereafter.

Sarga Seventy Six

S'rutvā taj jāmadagnyasya vākyam dāśarathis tadā, gauravād yantritakathah pitū rāmam athābravīt/ śrutavān asmi yat karma kṛtavān asi bhārgava, anurundhyāmahe brahman pitur ānṛṇyam āsthitaḥ/ vīryahīnam ivāśaktam ksatradharmena bhārgava, avajānāmi me tejah paśva me 'dya parākramam/ itv uktvā rāghavah kruddho bhārgavasya varāyudham, śaram ca pratisamgrhya hastāl laghuparākramah āropya sa dhanū rāmaḥ śaram sajyam cakāra ha, jāmadagnyam tato rāmam rāmaḥ kruddho 'bravīd vacah/ brāhmano 'sīti pūjyo me viśvāmitrakṛtena ca tasmāc chakto na te rāma moktum prānaharam śaram/ imām vā tvadgatim rāma tapobalasamārjitān, lokān apratimān vāpi hanisyāmi yad icchasi/ na hy ayam vaişnavo divyah śarah parapuramjayah, moghah patati vīryena baladarpavināśanah/ varāvudhadharam rāma drastum sarsiganāh surāh, pitāmaham puraskrtva sametās tatra samghasah/ gandharvāpsarasas caiva siddhacāranakimnarāh, vaksarāksasanāgās ca tad drastum mahad adbhutam/ jadīkṛte tadā loke rāme varadhanurdhare, nirvīryo jāmadagnyo 'sau ramo rāmam udaikṣata/ tejobhir hatavīryatvāj jāmadagnyo jadīkrtaḥ, rāmam kamala patrākṣam mandam mandam uvāca ha/ kāśyapāya mayā dattā yadā pūrvam vasumdharā, visaye me na vastavyam iti mām kāśyapo 'bravīt/ so 'ham guruvacah kurvan pṛthivyām na vase niśām, iti pratijñā kākutstha kṛtā vai kāśyapasya ha/ tad imām tvam gatim vīra hantum nārhasi rāghava, manojavam gamisyāmi mahendram parvatottamam/ lokās tv apratimā rāma nirjitās tapasā mayā, jahi tāñ śaramukhvena mā bhūt kālasya paryayah/ aksayyam madhuhantāram jānāmi tvām sureśvaram, dhanuṣo 'sya parāmarśāt svasti te 'stu paramtapa/ ete suraganāh sarve nirīksante samāgatāh, tvām apratimakarmānam apratidvandvam āhave/ na ceyam mama kākutstha vrīdā bhavitum arhati, tvayā trailokyanāthena yad aham vimukhīkṛtah/ śaram apratimam rāma moktum arhasi suvrata, śaramokse gamisyāmi mahendram parvatottamam/ tathā bruvati rāme tu jāmadagnye pratāpavān, rāmo dāśarathih śrīmāmś ciksepa śaram uttamam/ tato vitimirāh sarvā diśā copadiśas tathā, surāh sarṣigaṇā rāmam praśaśamsur udāyudham/ rāmam dāśarathim rāmo jāmadagnyah praśasya ca, tatah pradaksinīkrtya jagāmātmagatim prabhuh/

Although his father King Dasharatha's appeal was cutshort by the long monologue bordering on the self ego of Parashu Rama, Rama had to reply to the latter. He said that he was constrained by the principles of kshatriyas and hence was not elaborating much about his own achievements.

Then Rama angrily took away the Vishnu Dhanush and the arrows from Parshu Rama. Brāhmaṇo 'sīti pūjyo me viśvāmitrakṛtena ca, tasmāc chakto na te rāma moktum prāṇaharam śaram/ imām vā tvadgatim rāma tapobalasamārjitān, lokān apratimān vāpi haniṣyāmi yad icchasi/ na hy ayam vaiṣṇavo divyaḥ śaraḥ parapuramjayaḥ, moghaḥ patati vīryeṇa baladarpavināśanaḥ/

Bhrigu nandana! As by birth you are a Brahmana and as such you are respect worthy; further you have had affinity with Brahmarshi Vishvamitra too and as such am constrained not to let arrows used on you and cut short your life. 'Bhargava Rama! Even as you have had quickly earned physical and psychological powers due to your tapasya, this Vaishnava Dhanush which you are proud of, now in my hands would never hesitate to demolish you too'. This type of veiled yet composed threat that Rama confronted with against Bhargava Rama had readily attracted the attention and admiration of Deva ganas and Maharshis. Gandharva-apsarasa-siddhha-chaarana-yaksha-raakshasa- naagaas too rushed to witness this 'itihasik' scene! As Rama had thus held high on his hands, Bhargava Rama stood stunned and blank and murmered with low and mumbling voice stated: 'Raghu nandana! I had just described to you a while back that I donated Bhumi to Maha Muni Kashyapa and the latter instructed me to leave away bhumi and thus I shifted away to the heights of Mahendra mountain. Now having conceded my failure against the background of my bragging, may I politely return running back to the mountain heights! *Akṣayyam madhuhantāram jānāmi tvām sureśvaram, dhanuso 'sya parāmarśāt svasti te 'stu paramtapa/ ete*

suragaṇāḥ sarve nirīkṣante samāgatāḥ, tvām apratimakarmāṇam apratidvandvam āhave/ Maha Veera Shri Rama! The manner in which you had lifted the Vishnu Dhanush would recall how Maha Vishnu Himself lifted and held at the time of Madhu Kaitabha Daityas who sought to roll up earth and through into Patala! Even as Devatas are witnessing above this happening because of my arrogance and late realisation, may I declare that none indeed could face you in battles and glory. na ceyaṁ mama kākutstha vrīḍā bhavitum arhati, tvayā trailokyanāthena yad ahaṁ vimukhīkṛtaḥ/ śaram apratimaṁ rāma moktum arhasi suvrata, śaramokṣe gamiṣyāmi mahendraṁ parvatottamam/ Kakutsa kulabhushana! Here I stand with all my defeated egos as put to shame by you yet with the satisfaction that the Trilokanatha Vishnu himself had to humble me. Now, I request you to release a mild arrow which could land me safe atop Mahendra Parvata back to my Tapasya!

<u>Vishleshana on i) Madhu Kaitabha Daityas and ii) Parashu Rama:Madhu Kaitaba Daityas from Devi Bhagavata Purana:</u>

When Maha Vishnu was in Yoga Nidra in a comfortable posture of lying on the bed of Ananta Naga, two Demon brothers named Madhu and Kaitabha were born from the wax of Maha Vishnu's ears. Their birth was a mystery and unknown as felt by the brothers themselves whose physical forms grew fast and strong day by day, even as they were playing in the ocean surroundings, killing various kinds of aquatic species for food or play. Coming of age in course of time, the Demon brothers with huge bodies and proportionate common sense too, realised that there must have been a Massive Force which alone could have given birth to them. From the air, they heard a sound 'Vagbija' the Seed Mantra (Seed 'Bija' and 'Vak' the Speech of Goddess Sarasvati). To start with fun, but later on with maturity, they kept on practising the sound for years together, little realising the impact of the Mantra's repetition. In fact, they became so obsessed with the Mantra that they neither had food nor sleep, but with full concentration and utmost sincerity. 'The Parasakti's Voice emerged from the Skies that the Danava brothers would be invincible in the entire Universe provided they were united and fight two-some. Blessed by Maha Devi, the two brothers became swollen with pride and eventually attacked Lord Brahma Himself. On realising that they were unconquerable, Brahma who was seated on the lotus- head sprouting from Maha Vishnu's navel, tried the age-old four means. He tried to use 'Sama (Counselling) 'Dana' (Gifting or bribing), 'Bheda' (put one against another) and finally 'Danda' (Punish), but neither of these media appeared feasible; he ran away to Vaikuntha for protection but Maha Vishnu was in Yoga Nidra. Brahma had thus prayed to Yoga Nidra Devi to prompt Maha Vishnu to wake up. It was actually Maha Maya's discretion which mattered as Vishnu Himself could not regain consciouness on His own. The concentrate of 'Tamo Guna'- Maha Maya - was earnestly prayed to by Brahma, as this was a prestige issue for him and the entire domain of Gods! Maha Maya left Vishnu free and He was fully woken up to face the challenge of the hour, viz. to either manipulate or massacre the brothers, Madhu and Kaitabha. Lord Vishnu invited the brothers to fight with Himself. The fight continued for five thousand years but without a tangible result. As the Demons were clashing one after another and Lord Vishnu was in duel singly, the latter asked the brothers to give a break as it was against Justice that they took alternate positions while He was alone. During the break, Vishnu prayed to Maha Sakti and complained that the fight was unfair and that they were also given by Her the boon of voluntary death or 'Svacchanda Maranam'. Maha Sakti realised the lacuna in the duel and advised Vishnu to give boons to the brothers so that a way out would automatically open up. Meanwhile, Maha Sakti agreed to be present at the fight in physical form and disturb the concentration of the Demon brothers by casting Her fake amorous looks. This encouraged Vishnu to convey the Demons that their duel with Him was of great quality and thus He was ready to give boons to them. They got into the trap as they boasted that they were prepared to give boons to Him instead of the other way around. Vishnu grabbed the opportunity and said that He be given the boon of their death by killing each other! The brothers gave an excuse that the boon could be given only provided there was no water or wetness in the Ocean. Vishnu expanded his thighs manifold so that there could be adequate space for the killings. The Demons expanded their bodies too and thus the thighs of Vishnu and the body sizes of the brothers kept on increasing horizontally and vertically proportionately. Finally, the illusion created by

Vishnu proved stronger and the brothers had to yield to their own killings. Thus Maha Sakti who assumed human physique and paved the way to the killings of the Danava brothers without breaking the Rules of 'Dharma Yuddha', partly by trickery and partly by Maya or Illusion.

Ganesha Purana is quoted: Chapters 77-82: Jamadagni-Kaartaveerya- Kaama dhenu-Kartaveery kills the Muni- Parashuramaavatara: King Shurasena approached the ashram of Maha Muni Jamadagni the famed wife Renuka Devi in Shveta Dvipa's Sahyaadri Parvata and their illustrious son Parashurama who was in Naimisharanya for Vidyadhyayana. The Muni having extolled Sankata Charurthi Ganesha Vrata said his son Parashurama had already observed the Vrata as prescribed. Thereafter, Chakravarti Kartaveerya visited the Ashram of Jamadagni couple with his countless chaturanga bala akshouhinis who were taking refreshing bath and swim. The Muni couple invited the Chakravarti and the huge army and hosted a fabulous and highly rich and lavishing lunch with pancha bhakshya bhojana. Well before this lunch invitation the Muni Couple prostrated before the Kamadhenu in the ashram's backyard and entreated her to preserve their dignity to fulfill the invitation of lunch for the Royal Guest of honour and his mammoth number of the army. The shocked Chakravarti exclaimed as how such massive bhojana was possible to an equally huge army and requested the Muni and wife to explain out of his astonishing miracle. As they revealed the truth of mother Kamadhenu's grace and help, instantly the Chakravarti raised his tone and asserted that each and every asset in his command ought to be under his command. The Muni replied: Chakravarti! I am after all a Muni eking my life with what ever 'kandamula bhakshana' is possible in forests; how do you realise that this ashram could offer 'pancha bhaksshya paramaannas' to the Royalties and 'akshouihinis' of sena is possible otherwise. You are of Vishnu swarupa and accepted my 'aatithya' as that is a great honour and trilokas could proudly state that Chakravari Kaartaveerya was honoured by his visit along with his glorious sena which was of akshouhinis strong and the Muni served fabulous meal with pancha bhalshyas! But still the Chakravarti kept on insisting that Kamadhenu ought to be taken awayeven by force and left the ashram in a huff and disgust, even as the Muni kept on pleading and finally stated that the Chakravarti visited the ashram as a green parrot but finally turned as a crow!The Chakravarti who left in despair redoubled with the design of stealing kamadhenu overnight. He despatched his army men who freed the celestial cow which made reverberating noises while she became breathless and after kicking its legs flew away to skies in pitch darkness. An aweful earth tremor followed and the army ran away in fright. Noticing the havoc that had happened, Kaataveerya appeared on the scene and so did the Ashramavasis and the Mahamuni couples. As the Chakravarti faced the Muni couple, Maha Saadhyi Renuka showerd curses on Kaartaveerya and having warned the interference of the former aimed at the Muni's chest and killed him with the proverbial ekavimshati / 21 arrows and left away. The disheartened pativrata could hardly do the 'smarana' of Parashurama who was in long tapasya, even as Kartaveerya shot five arrows on her chest and the 'ashramavaasis' ran away helterskelter!Having dutifully initiated the 'dahana samskara' of the parents that followed with the assistance and blessings of Mahatma Dattatreya by 'smarana'. Soon after the 'antyeshti karma' (shava yatra- dahana-daaha yaginaudaka karma-pinda daana-sapindeekarana etc), he called onMahatma Dattaatreya with his shaven head and face narrated the details of the happenings about the Chakravarti's visit to the ashram, the enjoyment of the hospitality of the unique parents with the active help of Kamadhenu of Tri Murthi swarupini, his departure on the polite refusal to partwith Kamadhenu, the nocturnal attack and of the army, the killing of Kamadhenu, his subsequent visit to the ashram to kill his unique parents and the antima smarana of his mother and cremation formalities that followed. On the fifth day of the obsequies, Parashurama got terribly agitated witnessing the matru swarupa and cried much and as the days of the karma karyas, the mrita swarupas were distorted and dimmed in their physical parts. On the final day after karma kanda, the images of the parents were radiant and blissful which demolished his fears and got kindled the fires of revenge and retribution totally replacing with child like fears and helplessness!Parashurama prostrated to the vision of Devi Renuka and asked her about the 'sarvavyapta keerti' of sahasra baahu chakravarti Kaartaveerya and his historic valour and courage and how indeed could he stand alone and face him with all the strong army behind him! Devi Renuka replied that if only Parshurama performed severe tapas to Maha Deva Shiva sincerely with devotion, he could ensure victory single handed against even the

universal hero like Kartaveerya. Parashurama followed the mother's counsel and Maha Deva having been pleased with the prayers after his 'saakshaatkara' bestowed the upadesha of the shadakshara Ganesha Maha Mantra with which Parushurama recited one lakh timed with unrelenting bhakti followed by dashaamsha homas and Maha Ganesha stood before him even as Parashurama broke into his rapturous praises. Ganesha was pleased and handed over a Parashu and accorded a 'parashu' with which to destroy Kaartaveerya who nodoubt had been no doubt commenced his life within the precincts of dharmaacharana initially but transgressed the limits to the extent of murdering Muni dampatis and in that process killing the illutrious Go Mata the holiest cow in the Over Lords's Creation! Ganesha had implicitly instructed Parashurama to destroy the ambitious and arrogant human Kaartaveerya and also the equally cruel and sinful clan of Kshatrias too! As a sequel to parashu daana to Jamadagi-Renuka putra Parashu Rama armed with the Parashu gifted by Ganesha as prompted by Maha Deva himself shouted thunderously at Kaaraveerya and army and killed them all in no time and in the same sweep killed the Khatriyas and the clan is as many as 21 attacks recalling as many arrows of Kaartaveerya's bow broke his father's chest!

Brahmanda Purana too is quoted': Prashu Rama Tapasya:

The illustrious Incarnation of Bhagavan Vishnu as Bhargava Rama was the son of Jamadagni Muni and the grandson of the famed Bhrigu Maharshi and Devi Khyati. As instructed by hisfather and grandfather, Bhargava Rama performed stringent Tapasya in an Ashram in a deepjungle and visiting Maharshis like Bhrigu, Atri, Kratu, Jaabali, Mrikunda were impressed with the high concentration of Bhargava Rama who was seeking to target Shiva in his penance. In course of time, Maha Deva was pleased with Bhargava Rama's devotion and appeared in disguise as a hunter who presented a repulsive person with dark complexion and red eyes with bow and arrows and crude sword and knives of varied sizes and sharpness. He introduced himself as Tosha Pravarsha the Master of The Forest and that no knew person should step in the Forest, much less raise a Hermitage. Even Indra would not be able to reside in this forest without my permission, he said. The hunter then asked Rama as to was he and for what purpose that he was staying in the Forest for such a long time. The former replied that he was performing Tapasya to Maha Deva Shambhu and that he would like please that Sarveshwara, Sarva Sharanya, Abhaya prada, Trinetra, Sarvajna, Tripuraantaka and Shankara. The Hunterheckled at Parashu Rama and said that he was wasting his time. In the course of conversation, Parashu Rama realised that the Hunter was not an ordinary human being; he knew a lot of Shiva as the so called hunter mumbled that Shiva did Brahmahatya and that he snipped Brahma's fifth head. The Hunter further told Parashu Rama that after all he was trying to absolve himself of the sin of his mother's killing! (Once Jamadagni left for Tapsaya and his wife Renuka Devi went to a river to fetch water and witnessed Prince of Mrittikavati Chitraratha was enjoying swims in the river with his women and momentarily Renuka feltenvious of the women; Jamadagni noticed that his wife committed a sin and on returning back to his Ashram he asked his sons to kill her for the sin; none of his elder sons were prepared but Prarashshu Rama sliced her neck and killed her at once; apparently, Jamadagni was able to revive Devi Renuka by his Mantra Shakti!). Bhargava Rama then realised that the hunter must be a Siddha! The Hunter further heckled Rama that his Tapasya was futile as he left his old father and killed his mother! Bhargava Rama then asked the hunter to identify himself: Was he Indra or Agni or Surya or Chandra or Vayu or Yama! You have come here to test my sincerity of Tapasya. Mahatma! Do reveal your self, thus prostrated Bhargava Rama and as soon as he stood up, Maha Deva revealed himself and a confused Rama in an ecstatic trance praised him as follows: Namastey Nilakanthaaya Nilalohita murtaye, Namastey Bhuta nathaya Bhuta vaasaaya tey namah/ Vkyataavyakta Swarupaaya Maha Devaaya Meedhushey, Shivaaya Bahurupaaya Trinetraaya Namo nanah/ Sharanam Bhava Sharva twadbhaktasya Jagatpatey, Bhuyonanyaashrayaanaam tu twameva hi paraayanam/ Yanmaya- aprakrutam Deva duruktam vaapi Shankara, Ajaanataa twaam Bhagavanmama tatkhshantumarhasi/ Ananyavedya Swarupasya Sadbhaavamiha kaha pumaan, Twaamrutey tawa Sarvesha Samyak Shakreti Veditum/ Tasmaatwam Sarvabhavena praseeda mama Shankara, Naanyaast mey gatistubhyam Namo bhuyo namo namah/ Nilakantha, Nilalohita, Bhutanaadha, Bhuta vaasa! You are Perceivable vet impossible to Perceive, Maha Deva, Shiva, Bahurupa, Trinetra, Sharva! Indeed I am your faithful devotee and you are my final refuge; I might have talkedlightly about you thinking that you were a normal hunter! Do pardon my ignorance and indiscretion; who else is capable of recognising your own magnanimity excepting yourself! I have no recourse else than surrendering myself to you totally!) Shiva replied to Rama 'My Child! I am pleased with your Tapasya. I really wish I could bestow every Shakti to you although You deserve it. Yet, you are still not yet ripe enough to withstand the Rudra Shakti and the ralated 'Astraas'; hence you have to perform further Tapasya, resort to Sarva Tirtha Darshanaas and approach me when you consider fit. Subsequently, Bhargava Rama was engaged in Tirtha Darshanaas, fastings, Tapas, Homas, Japas, Snaanaas and other sacred deeds and moved about a lot in Bhumandala. Later, as per the instructions of Maha Deva returned to his Ashram and settled for his Shiva Puja. Meantime, there was a terrible battle between Devas and Asuras and the latter approached Maha Deva for help. Shankara then asked Mahodara toreach Parashurama to bring from his Ashram in Himalayas and the latter was instruced by Shiva to destroy the Asuras. Bhargava was bestowed with a variety of powerful Astra-Shastras and devastated Asuras in large contingents even while the remnants ran away to Rasatala. The victorious Bhargava returned to his Ashram and installed an Idol of the 'Kiraata' who confronted him in the Forest and worhipped him with flowers, Chandana, Dhupa, Dipa and Naivedyas. As Shankara made an appearance along with Marudganas and Devas, Rama fell on his feet and extolled him as follows: (Devadeva! Jagannaadha, Tripuraantaka, Sakala adhyaksha, Bhaktavatsala, Sarva Bhutesha, vrishabha -dhwaja, Sakalaadhisha, Kanukaakara, Skaklaayaasa, Sakala Deyaarigana Naashaka, Shuli, Kapaali, Sarva Lokaika paala, Nitya Smashna Vaashi, Kailasavaasi, Pashayukta, Kalakuta vishaara, Sarva Vibhu, Amarvandya, Swayambhu, Shaktivaan, Sagatkarma Sakshi, Shambhu, Chandramouli, Sarpakantha haara, Shiya, Paramatma, Vibhuti sanchhanna deha, Suryachandraagninetra, Kapardi, Andhakaasura mardana, Tripura dhwamsi, Daksha Yagna Vinaashaka, Yogijana Dhyeya, Achintya Rupa, Bhakta hridayaambhoja karna madhya varti, Sakalaagama Siddhaanta Saara Rupa, Sakala Yogendra Prabhu, Shankara, Sakala Vyaapta Maha mahimna, Paramatma, Sharva, Shaanta, Jagadbrahma, Vishwarupa, Adimadhya rahita, Nitya, Avyakta, Vyaktaavyakta Swarupa, Sthula Sukshmaatma, Vedanta Vedya, Samasta Vishwa Viginaana Swarupa, Suraasurasangha Shreshtha puja paada, Shrikantha, Srishti karta, Lokakarta, Rajo gunaatma, Hiranyagarbha, Paratpara, Pratyagatma, Tamoguna Vikaara, Jagatsamhaara, Kalpanta Rudra Rupa, Parapara-Vida, Avikara, Nitya, Sadas adaatma, Buddhi Prabodha, and Buddhin- driya Vikara! My salutations to you as you are manifested in various Forms as Vasu-Rudra- Marud-Aditya- Saadhaya and Ashwini Kumaaras! You are Avikara, Aja, Nitya, Sukshma Rupa! You are not controllable and unimaginable even by Brahma! Those who continue in ignorance about you and your three major features of Srishti-Sthiti-Samhara are engaged in the cycle of births and deaths; as even great Scholars are unaware about you, what could I realise about you! Indeed your magnificence is far beyond description and voice; thus I am unable to commend you as my Stuti properly yat I know that you are affectionate to your Bhaktas!) Maha Deva was indeed gratified with this kind of touching prayers and bestowed to him all kinds of Astra-Shastra Vidyas, their usages and withdrawing capacities; a outstanding horse; a distinctive chariot, a peerless bow and bunch of arrows, a distinctive Kavacha or body shield, Beeja Mantras whose recitation could either annihilate the worlds or shower blessings to his followers and in short provided unique Siddhis to Bhargava Rama equipping him with invincible powers enabling him to punish the Evil wherever it existed and at the same time to protect the virtuous and the noble.

King Kaartaveeryarjuna and his invincibility: The most valiant and invincible King of the times Kaartaviryarjuna of Haihava Vamsha was contemporary to Bhargava Rama halted at the Ashsram of Jamadagna once along with his huge army which was tired and famished on an afternoon when Sun was hot and severe; the army did not have the strength to move forward and decided to rest. The King knew that the Ashram would not have the resource to feed the contingent but the Muni did provide excellent food to them. The King wondered as to how the Muni was able to do so and discovered that the Celestial Cow Kama -dhenu was in the Ashram and fulfilled all the requirements of the inmates of the Ashram. The King desired to take away the Kamadhenu to his kingdom but Jamadagni declined politely initially and refused flatly later. The King returned to his Kingdom but sent his Minister to manage tobring the

Celestial Cow, if necessary by force. Finally force was used and both the Muni and the Kamadhenu resisted till the last but were tortured; Jamadagni Maharshi was almost killed and Kamadhenu flew to Heaven! The soldiers returned only with the calf which was a wasted exercise since without the mother the calf was no avail anyway. On return to the Ashram, Devi Renuka found her husband lying dead in a pool of blood and fainted and after recovering fro the shock with some passage of time, she cried incessantly enquiring about Bhargava Rama. Rama returned from the forest to fetch wood and flowers for homa and puja and was non-plussed about what all had happened. He witnessed his mother beating her chest again and again numbering twenty one times and took a vow that not only King Kartaveeryarjuna would be butchered but would also attack Kshatriyas as a race would be slaughtered twenty one times and wipe out traces of them all; for quite some time now Kshatriyas were harassing Brahmanasand Sages on many counts, mostly out of fear that Brahmanas were gaining upper hand due to their knowledge and out of fear of an inferiority complex. Renuka decided to jump into firealong with her dead husband in the execution of the old practice of 'Sati Sahagamana' but a Celestial Voice stopped her attempt as Jamadagni's life would by revived once again. Bhrigu Maharshi came to learn of his son's death and on seeing his body stated that if he the Maharshi spent all his life as per Vedas and performed all virtuous deeds including Yagnas and Tapas, then Jamadagni his son should rise up from his death bed and sprinkled sacred weater on the dying body and up came Jamadagni fully resuscitated due to the glory of Bhrigu. But Bhrigu after full recovery came to realise Bhargava Rama's vow to kill Kartaveeryarjuna and felt sad, not only because that revenge was never the principle of a Brahmana but killing a King by one of his own Subjects would tantamount to 'Rajavadha' which was as atrocious as killing one's own father! Moreso King Kartaveeryarjuna was not only an illustrious King of extraordinary prowess but also an outstanding devotee of Bhagavan Dattaratreya. This created a predicament to Bhargava Rama as there was a vow to kill the King and the Kshatriya Vamsha in twenty one attacks and on the other hand there was the considered advice tantamounting to an instruction of his father not to do so. Jamadagni then advised to pray to Brahma Deva and act according to his considered advice. Brahma too was not acceptable to either of the vows taken by Bhargav and affirmed that it would not be in order that if simply one King perpetrated a sin, there would be little justification to eradicate the entire Kshatriya Vamsha in twenty one battles! Yet, he blessed Rama to recite a Krishna Kavacha tittled 'Trailokya Vijaya' and visit Shiva Loka to seek his blessings in the matter. As Bhargava Rama with great difficulty managed an audience with Shiva, the latter too felt that it was not an easy task to terminate King Kartaviryarjuna who by his mere frown a great warrior like was disarmed and had to flee! However, the ever merciful Mahadeva suggested that he like Skanda Kumara should practise not only the Trailokya Vijaya Mantra but several other powerful Mantras like Nagasatra, Paashupata, Brahmastra, Narayanastra, Agneyastra, Varanyastra, Gandharvatra, Garudastra, Jrumbhanaastra and many other Astraas; Rama then bowed with the greatest possible happiness and fulfillment to Shiva, Devi Parvati, Ganesha, Skanda and Nandi Deva and returned to his father Jamadagni, fully overjoyed.!

Sarga Seventy Seven

Gate rāme praśāntātmā rāmo dāśarathir dhanuḥ, varuṇāyāprameyāya dadau haste sasāyakam/
abhivādya tato rāmo vasiṣṭha pramukhān ṛṣīn, pitaram vihvalam dṛṣṭvā provāca raghunandanaḥ/
jāmadagnyo gato rāmaḥ prayātu caturaṅgiṇī, ayodhyābhimukhī senā tvayā nāthena pālitā/ rāmasya
vacanam śrutvā rājā daśarathaḥ sutam, bāhubhyām saṃpariṣvajya mūrdhni cāghrāya rāghavam/ gato
rāma iti śrutvā hṛṣṭaḥ pramudito nṛpaḥ, codayām āsa tām senām jagāmāśu tataḥ purīm, patākādhvajinīm
ramyām tūryodghuṣṭanināditām, siktarājapathām ramyām prakīrṇakusumotkarām/
rājapraveśasumukhaiḥ paurair maṅgalavādibhiḥ, saṃpūrṇām prāviśad rājā janaughaiḥ samalaṅkṛtām/
kausalyā ca sumitrā ca kaikeyī ca sumadhyamā,vadhūpratigrahe yuktā yāś cānyā rājayoṣitaḥ/ tataḥ sītām
mahābhāgām urmilām ca yaśasvinīm, kuśadhvajasute cobhe jagṛhur nṛpapatnayaḥ/ maṅgalālāpanaiś
caiva śobhitāhaumavāsasah, devatāyatanānv āśu sarvās tāh pratvapūjayan/ abhivādyābhivādyāmś ca

sarvā rājasutās tadā, remire muditāḥ sarvā bhartrbhiḥ sahitā rahaḥ/ krtadārāḥ krtāstrāś ca sadhanāḥ sasuhrjjanāḥ, shuruṣamāṇāḥ pitaram vartayanti nararṣabhāḥ/ teṣām atiyaśā loke rāmaḥ satyaparākramaḥ, svayambhūr iva bhūtānām babhūva guṇavattaraḥ/ rāmas tu sītayā sārdham vijahāra bahūn rtūn, manasvī tadgatas tasyā nityam hrdi samarpitaḥ/ priyā tu sītā rāmasya dārāḥ pitrkrtā iti' guṇād rūpaguṇāc cāpi prītir bhūyo vyavardhata/ tasyāś ca bhartā dviguṇam hrdaye parivartate, antarjātam api vyaktam ākhyāti hrdayam hrdā/ tasya bhūyo viśeṣeṇa maithilī janakātmajā, devatābhiḥ samā rūpe sītā śrīr iva rūpiṇī/ tayā sa rājarṣisuto 'bhirāmayā; sameyivān uttamarājakanyayā, atīva rāmaḥ śuśubhe 'tikāmayā; vibhuḥ śriyā viṣṇur ivāmareśvaraḥ/

As Bhargava Rama was put to shame, Shri Rama addressed his father King Dasharatha who had just returned to normalcy after the quick succession of events and said: dear father, Parashurama had left for good and now you may instruct all of us to move forward comfortably with the chaturanga balaas, and the wedding procession with joy and renewed enthusiasm. As the procession finally reached the city of Ayodhya, it was ready with dhwaja-patakas, sonorous welcome sounds of drums and musical instruments, group dances of talented damsels and youthful males, decorated house holds, sweet smells of fragrant flowers and garlanded streets and men and women dressed up with festive feverishness, and freshly cooked savories and sweets for free distribution at street corners and so on. Groups of vedic panditas were busy with vedic chantings aloud welcoming the arriving 'baraat' or those who were fotunate to see the wedding events. Rushing citizens were anxious to glance the new brides with grace and modesty.

Then King Dasharatha along with his sons and new daughters-in-law as accompanied by Devis Koushalya- Sumitra-Kaikeyi descended from their respective chariots made an auspicious entry. They were all initially ushered into their deva mandiras. The new daughters in law touched the feet of elders. Thereafter the respective new couples entered their own chambers and settled gradually. In due course of time the Raja Kumaras, refreshed themselves in the art of archery with excellent camaraderie and solidarity as some of the newly learnt mantras of 'dhanur prayogaas' were exchanged too and imparting excellent care and affection to the proud King Dasharatha. In course of time King Dasharatha accosted Bharata Kumara and addressed him to accompany Kaikeya Raja Kumara who had been there for good time at Ayodhya and Shatrugna too evinced interest to accompany Bharat Kumara too. There after, Rama Lakshmanas started to look after King Dasharath's small and big duties of officialdom as also his personal care. Pituraagjnaam puraskritya pourakaaryaani sarvashah, chakaara Raamah sarvaani priyaani cha hitaanicha/ Having gradually deputising the duties of the King, especially the day to day issues of the public of Ayodhya and thus gained the popularity and faith. Enentually, the duties of looking after the mothers, their own welfare as also of their households were discharged perfectly by Rama and brothers. Similarly the issues related to the Gurus and workers of the 'darbaar' were resolved instatly. The word spread across Ayadhya and other places in the entire kingdom about the efficient and instant handling of the public. Teshaamatishayaa loke Ramah satyaparaakramah, svayambhuriva bhutaanaam babhuva gunavattarah/ Just as Brahma Deva himself would have looked after the welfare of charaa -chaara jajat of his creation, the Rajas of Ayodhya too assume full responsibilty of the public. At the same time Rama and Sita have become famed as being of the same heart and for the passage of all the seasons of years .Antarjātam api vyaktam ākhyāti hrdayam hrdā/ tasya bhūyo viśesena maithilī janakātmajā, devatābhiḥ samā rūpe sītā śrīr iva rūpiṇī/ tayā sa rājarṣisuto 'bhirāmayā; sameyivān uttamarājakanyayā, atīva rāmah śuśubhe 'tikāmayā; vibhuh śriyā visnur ivāmareśvarah/Janakanandini Mithileshwari Kumari Sita gets aware of Shri Rama's inner voice and opinion almost instantly and clearly Indeed She has the form and fame of Maha Lakshmi Herself. The eldest of King Dasharatha's daugher in law is Lakshmi while the King Dasharatha was convinced his son Rama was Maha Vishnu Himself!

Raamaaya Ramabhadraaya Ramachandraya Vedhase, Raghunaadhaaya naadhaaya Seetaayaah patanenamah/

Annexure on Shri Rama's Uttara Bharata Parikrama before wedding with Devi Sita

Sri Rama's route From Ayodhya to Janakpur was the route used by the bridegroom and his 'baraatis' or the Party as also to return to Ayodhya after the Rama-Sita marriage in Janakpur acquired the name 'Ram-Sita Marg' long ago. The route of the 'baaraatis' is an excellent Road and millions of pilgrims actually cover the distance on foot till date out of veneration!

Shri Rama and Lakshmana guided by Maharshi Vishwamitra, however took another route to reach Janakpur after the slaying of Tataka in Tatakavan (Forest of Tataka).

- 1) Azamgarh: Uttar Pradesh: Shri Ram was only fifteen years old when he and Lakshman set out with Vishwamitra toannihilate the demons who were polluting and obstructing the sacred rituals of his Yagna (firesacrifice). Their first halt was on the banks of the <u>River Sarayu</u>, twenty kilometers from Ayodhya. Valmiki's Ramayan describes the tranquil setting against which, Vishwamitra taught the princes about the art of 'bal' and 'atibal' which endowed them with immunity from disease and eternal good health besides freeing them from pangs of hunger and thirst.
- 2) Balliya: Uttar Pradesh: Walking past Azamgarh, Shri Ram, Lakshman and Sage Vishwamitra reached Balliya where RiverSarayu merges with the holy river Ganga. This haven on the banks of the Sarayu was the chosenplace for sages who spend long hours in meditation. Shri Ram rested here in the night before heset out at dawn <u>crossing river Ganga</u> to reach Vishwamitra's Siddhashram. At night, before the princes went to sleep, Vishwamitra narrated to them the story of 'Kama Deva' the God of Love who was burned to ashes there by Lord Shiva.
- 3) Buxar:Bihar :<u>Tadaka Vadha</u>:- After crossing the holy Ganga, Shri Ram and Lakshman reached a dense forest where demoness Tataka lived. The dreadful forest was known as Tatkavan. Shri Ram ended Tataka's reign over the forest by slaying her and freeing its inhabitants from terror. The forest stretched between Bharoli and Baksar in Bihar. Shri Rama performed the first task of his "avtaar" (incarnation) here by destroying the evil demoness.
- 4) <u>Siddhashram</u>: Buxar, Bihar: Vishwamitra's Siddhashram was located not too far from Buxar. Siddhashram, according to Adhytma Ramayan was a social ashram where religious instruction was imparted to people. Shri Ram and Lakshman sojourned in the ashram for three days after Shri Ram killed <u>Mareech and Subahu</u>, the demons who were tormenting Vishwamitra by spoiling his Yagna with bones and blood. Lakshman destroyed the demon while Shri Ram took on the mighty Maricha, son of Tataka. There are villages existing today on the banks of the River Ganga with the names Marich and Subahu.
- 5)<u>Ahilya Uddhar</u>: Ahroli, Buxar, Bihar. Three kilometers from Buxar in the northern direction is the village Ahroli. Rishi Gautam had his ashram here. According to <u>Ram Charita Manas</u> it was here that Shri Ram delivered Ahilya, the beautiful wife of Rishi Gautam, from a curse of her husband, which had turned her into stone. When Shri Ram and Lakshman left Siddhashram they crossed River Ganga and River Sonbhadra and set foot on the soil of Ahroli village, which still exists in Buxar district.
- 6) <u>Sonbhadra River, of Gajendra Moksha Fame, Sonpur, near</u> Patna, Bihar:Parev and Trigama are two places of significance. They have a distance of five kilometersbetween them. When Shri Ram and Lakshman crossed River Sonbhadra, they reached a placebefore Patna where they spent a night before moving on to Janakpur.
- 7) <u>Vishala Nagri</u>, Hajipur, Bihar (near Patna). Shri Ram and Lakshman crossed River Ganga and reached this town with Rishi Vishwamitra who guided them to a garden to rest for a while in its fragrant surroundings.

- 8) <u>Ahilya Ashram, Darbhanga,</u> Bihar: Valmiki's Ramayan says Gautam Rishi's ashram was in Mithila. Ahilya resided there as Shila. The place was therefore named as Ahiyari after her. Thaiyavalk (Jagvan), Shringi (Sringya), Bhringi (Bhairav) and Gautam Rishis lived there.
- 9) <u>Vishwamitra Ashram:</u> Bisaul, Madhubani, Bihar. Bisaul was Rishi Viswamitra's place of residence. After reaching Janakpur Rishi Vishwamitra stayed there and he set up his ashram in a garden. B) Phulhar Village (Jamuni), Madhubani, Bihar was situated in one of Raja Janak's prime gardens. It was in Jamuni (Madhubani) and was celebrated for a Gauri Temple where Sita prayed regularly. After paying obeisance to his Guru Vishwamitra when Shri Ram entered the floral section of the garden, Sita, who was present there, got her first glimpse of Shri Ram.
- 10) <u>Matihani: Janakpur</u>, Nepal. In the vicinity of Janakpur was Matihani from where, according to folklore, mud was collected and taken to create the venue for the marriage of Shri Ram and Sita. Matihani has become a sacred place as even today maidens for their marriage take mud from here.
- B) <u>Janakpur</u>, <u>Nepal</u>: <u>Janakpur</u> was the capital of <u>Raja Janak</u>'s <u>kingdom</u>. It lies 20 kilometers from India's border and is known for a temple of Ma Sita which attracts pilgrims round the year.
- C) <u>Rangbhoomi: Janakpur</u>, Nepal. It is believed that the <u>Dhanush Yagya</u> (competition for lifting of the bow) or <u>Sitaswayamvar</u>, as is popularly understood was announced before an invited royal gathering in a huge maidan (field) close to the present Janaki Mandir. <u>It was here that Shri Ram picked up the Shiv Dhanush</u> and broke it into two halves with ease. The important places in Janakpur include Matihani, Rangbhoomi, Dhanusha Mani Mandap. All of them are associated with the legend of Shri Ram and Sita's marriage.
- 11) Sita Marhi, Bihar: According to beliefs, Mithila, one of the principalities of Raja Janak's Kingdom was passingthrough the trial of drought and famine. Following royal tradition, Raja Janak took out the goldenplow and went to an arid field to plough the soil and appeal to the gods for rain. While performing the ritual, the plow got stuck in a deep grove in the soil. The king's men rushed to pull the plow out of the depth of the soil and lo and behold there was a girl child waiting for help. The childless king happily adopted her as his daughter and named her "Sita", the Sanskrit term by which the cutting side of the plow is known. The name of the village, Sitamarhi, is derived from the name Sita as a result. Travelers going to Janakpur in Nepal invariably stop at Sitamarhi for a "darshan" (sighting) of the land where Sita manifested in the soil.
- 12) <u>Sitakund Motihari</u>, <u>Bihar</u>: It is said that the '<u>baraatis</u>' (procession of the bridegroom's family) while returning to thekingdom of Ayodhya after the Ram-Sita marriage stopped at Sitakund Motihari for a little rest. They bathed and freshened themselves in the Sita Kund. One of Sita's bangles fell in the kund (pond), it is believed. The baraatis (Bridegroom's family) offered a puja (worship) to Lord Shiva here. Sitakund is located 20 kms from Motihari in the South Direction. It is a well-known place in the Northern Indian Belt. Then the baratis arrived at Derwan, Gorakhpur, Uttar Pradesh is not far from Sitakund. The baraatis (Bridegroom's family) had camped at this place and hence the name Derwan. The word "Dev" in Hindi means camp.
- 13) <u>Dohri Ghat, Mhow, Uttar Pradesh: The true meaning of Dohari is Do Hari, i.e. Two Haris.</u> One commonly used name in the worshipof Lord Vishnu is Hari. As per Valmiki Ramayan, the baarat was on the way to Ayodhya when theearlier Avtaar (incarnation) of Vishnu, <u>Parashuram</u>, stopped the baaratis at this place on the banksof the river Sarayu. Parashuram tested Shri Ram and realized who he was. Both the Haris(Parashuram and Ram, the two Vishnu avatars) met here and Parashuram returned to Mahesgiri Mountain after offering his respects to Ram. Raja Dashrath and the "baraatis" then continued their journey back to Ayodhya with Shri Ram.

Shri Ram's Vanvasa Parikrama:

It is more difficult to chart a route for Ram's journey during his period of exile. Firstly this is pan-India journey, secondly, Ram, Lakshman and Sita also wandered in the Dandaka Forest for more than 10 years. This mighty forest would encompass in today's date almost the entire state of Madhya Pradesh including parts of Gujarat and Maharashtra on the West and Karnataka on the South. Hence this makes it even more difficult. Still one might charter a basic route. There are many places that Ram visited during this 14 year period during which he had the good fortune of meeting with some of most enlightened sages and beings of that period. They were of course very delighted to meet with Ram themselves with many of them having been foretold thecoming of Ram, they waited for years conducting severe penance for that fortunate time to arrive.

- 1) Ayodhya, Uttar Pradesh:was the capital city for the Isvaku Dynasty (Suryavanshi) of Kings. This was also thecity where Son of Dasrath, Shri Ram was born (appeared). In twelve kilometers vicinity of Ayodhya there exist holy places like Vedi Kund, Sita Kund, Janaura etc. that are also part of the journey of Shri Ram's 'vanvas' (exile) route. It was also from Ayodhya that Shri Ram started his journey along with Sita and Lakshman. Ayodhya was a majestic city comparable to any international city of modern times almost eleven kilometers in length full of parks, gardens, theatres and modern infrastructure and facilities for its citizens. The citizens of Ayodhya loved their Kings. It was at Tamsa River, Uttar Pradesh that Shri Ram along with Sita, Lakshman and Sumantra Minister (Mantri) rested on their first night. The modern name for Tamsa River is Madhar River and the place from where she flows is called Gora Ghat. This place is about twenty kilometers from Ayodhya. On the banks of the Tamsa River there is a place known as Purva Chakiya. The citizens of Ayodhya followed Shri Ram until this spot after their dearest Ram departed from Ayodhya. Shri Ram, Lakshman and Sitadisguised themselves and left this spot in the middle of the night so that none of the people wouldbe able to follow him.
- 2) Sultanpur, Uttar Pradesh on the banks of Gomati River that Sage Valmiki had an ashram. It was from here that Shri Ramcrossed the Gomti river. The old name of Sultanpur was Kushannathpur, which was named afterthe son of Ram, 'Kush'. Vadrathi River, Pratapgarh, Uttar PradeshThe present day name Sarkani River which is situated around 8 kilometers from Pratapgarh in the Eastern Direction. Shri Ram had crossed this river near the town of Mohanganj, as per Valmiki Ramayan. Sandika River (Sayi River), Mohanganj, Pratapgarh, Uttar Prades is situated at a distance oftwelve kilometers from Pratapgarh. This is place is also commonly known as Dev Ghat. Shri Ramhas crossed this river from this spot. There is also a Shiv Temple here that was established byBharat. This place has been mentioned in the Valmiki as well as Tulsi Ramayan. Further, Balukini River, Pratapgarh, Ramkaleva, Uttar Pradesh is approximately 15 kilometers fromPratapgarh in the Southern Direction. Shri Ram had crossed this river here as has been mentioned in the Valmiki Ramayan.
- 3) Prayag (Allahabad), Uttara Pradesh: A) Shringverpur or the current name Singrora, the capital of Nishad Raj Guha. This place is situated around twenty kilometers North of Allahabad. Shri Ram had rested on a bed of grass here. The next morning he crossed the Ganga River from here and proceeded to the Bharadwaj Ashram. The incident of 'Kevat Prasang' took place here.
- B) Sita Kund, Shrinverpur, Prayag. This holy pond is around two kilometers from Shrinverpur. It was from here that Shri Ram sentback their beloved minister Sumantra to Ayodhya.
- C) Sangam, Prayag: This is the divine meeting place of the three holy rivers of Ganga, Yamuna and Saraswati. Shri Ram himself praised this spot for its spiritual powers, which could uplift mankind. Bharadwaj Rishi had his ashram here. Shri Ram had rested in this ashram for a night. Ram Charita Manas as well as Valmiki Ramayan give a lot of importance to this place.
- D) Yamuna Ghat, Simri, Prayag:Shri Ram along with Lakshman and Sita crossed the Yamuna River. In the Valmiki Ramayan the reference to Lakshman constructing a boat to cross the river has been made for

this place. After resting overnight on the Simri Ghat Shri Ram crossed the river using the boat made by Lakshman. There are many places on the banks of the Yamuna related to the exile period of Shri Ram like Akshay Vat, Sita Rasoi (Jasra Bazaar), Rishiyan (the abode of Rishis), Murka (Hanuman Mandir).

4) Chitrakoot, Uttar Pradesh:

- A) Ramnagar: Shri Ram walked along the banks of the Yamuna River in his onward journey. After crossing the Yamuna River, he reached what is known in today's time as Ramnagar. This is place is birthplace of Tulsi Das, the great poet who has written Ram Charita Manas.
- B) Valmiki Ashram, Lala Pur, Chitrakoot: After visiting Sage Bharadwaj's Ashram, Shri Ram reached Valmiki's Ashram and he spent the night here. It was here that Sage Valmiki himself suggested to Shri Ram to make Chitrakoot his home for a few days.
- C) As suggested by Sage Valmiki, Shri Ram reached Chitrakoot Dham. Shri Ram made his ashram on the Kamadgiri Mountain near the Mandakini River. There were many sages, holy men and Rishis who had made their ashrams (abodes) near the Kamadgiri Mountain. It was this divine spot where Shri Bharat met with Shri Ram and took his padukas (slippers) with him to Ayodhya to place on the throne. Chitrakoot has many places of pilgrimages in its vicinity like Madakini River, Bharatkoop, On the banks of the Mandakini River Spatik Sheela, Hanuman Dhara and Atri Ashram, Gupt (Secret) Godavari. All these sacred places strengthen the place of Chitrakoot as a one of the most important places of pilgrimages while tracing the footsteps of Shri Ram's journey of exile. After the visit of Bharat to Chitrakoot, many citizens of Ayodhya had started to visit this place. Many of the holy men and sages in this area started to feel disturbed by the presence of so manypeople and it then that Shri Ram decided to leave this place. Hence all in all Shri Ram would havestayed in Chitrakoot for only about one or two years only. The majority of his exile period he spent in the Dandak Forest.
- D) Amravati, Chitrakut, Uttar Pradesh: Around 7 kilometers from Atri Ashram, in the middle of the jungle, there is a beautiful place called Amravati. One of the ancestors of Shri Ram called Ambrish had conducted an intense penance here for many years. After leaving Chitrakut, Shri Ram came to Sage Atri's Ashram. It was here that the Sati Anusuya (pure and chaste wife of Sage Atri) gave the sermon of 'Pati Vrata Dharma' (service to husband) to Mother Sita. After resting in Sage Atri's Ashram for one night, Shri Ram spent the next night at the place of penance of Ambrish (his ancestor). It was in this forest that Shri Ram killed the Rakshas named Viradh. In the vicinity of Amvarti there is a village called Jamunihayi. There is a very dark and dangerous looking pit called 'Viradh Kund' (pond). This pit is situated three kilometers from Amravati. After killing the demon Viradh, Shri Ram had buried him here.
- 5) Sharbang Ashram, Satna, Madhya Pradesh: Around 13 kilometers from current day Chithara Station, Satna, Madhya Pradesh is probablywhere the Shabrang Ashram of the Ramayan is situated. After the slaying of Viradh, Shri Ramvisited this ashram. It was here that he had the divine 'darshan' (sighting) of the God Indra. After having the 'darshan' of Shri Ram, Shabrang Rishi with the help of his Yogic Fire destroyed his body and attained salvation.
- 6) Ramtek, Nagpur, Maharashtra: Ramtek is a beautiful mountain near the city of Nagpur. Shri Ram stayed here for some time. This mountain is also connected with the writer Kalidas who wrote the famous poem 'Meghdoot' according to some historians. Approximately 9 kilometers from here there is a place called Salbardi near which there is a pilgrimage spot called Sita Nahani. According to popular legend, Shri Ram proceeded to the ashram of Sutikshan Muni from here.

7) Nasik, Maharashtra:

- A) Sutiksha Muni Ashram: Sapta Srungi; After meeting with Sharbang Rishi, Shri Ram reached the ashram of Sutikshan Muni who had spent 10 years in the Dandaka Forest before reaching here. Sutikshan Muni was the disciple of Agastya Rishi. Shri Ram rested here for some time. He killed many of the demons residing in this area and also took a vow that he would rid this area of all the evil influences. There is an ancient temple of Goddess Sapta Srungi here, which attracts many pilgrims. It is said that Markandaya Rishi wrote the Durga Saptastuti at this holy place. According to popular legend, Durga Ma killed the demon Mahisasur at this place, which is represented by a hole in the mountain, which can be seen till today. The demon was hiding behind the mountain when Durga attacked him.

 B) Agastya Ashram: Pimparner, Nasik: Approximately 16 kilometers North of Nasik there is an ashram
- B) Agastya Ashram: Pimparner, Nasik: Approximately 16 kilometers North of Nasik there is an ashram called Agasteshwar Ashram. Sutiksha Muni had guided Shri Ram to his Guru Agastya Rishi. Sage Ag astya presented Ram with many divine weapons and powers here. He also advised Ram to make his Ashram on the banks of the Godavari River and live there.
- C) Panchavti: Nasik; On the banks of the Godavari River there is place popularly known as Tapovan, which is the actual Panchvati of the Ramayan era. It was here that Shri Ram, Lakshman and Sita resided here in a small hut. The incident of the cutting off the nose of Demoness Shupnaka took place here. It is from here that 'Nasik' derived its name as the Sanskrit name for nose is 'Nasika'. Khar, Dhooshan, Trishara and 14,000 other Demons were slain by Shri Ram in this area after they attacked Shri Ram on hearing about this incident from their sister. The kidnapping of Sita by Ravan, The slaying of Mareech and the Slaying of Jatayu by Ravan alltook place in a forest known as Jansthan in this area. In the ancient times, the ashram of GautamRishi was in the holy town of Trimbakeshwar (one of the twelve Jyotirlings) nearby. In order torelease himself of the burden of a curse on him, Gautam Rishi had created the Godavari River.
- 8) Tuljapur (Maharashtra): There is a famedtemple of Devi Tuljabhavani here. It is believed that Shri Ram and Sita roamed in the forests near the temple. It is also here that Lord Shiva and his wife Sati came for the 'darshan' of Shri Ram and Sita. Sati took the form of Sita and tried to get close to Ram in order to test his purity.
- 9) Ramdurg, Belgam, Karnataka:A) Kaband Ashram: Kardigud, Near Ramdurg, Belgaum, Karnataka In the Indian state of Karnataka there is a village called Kardigud where it is believed that Kaband Ashram was situated. Shri Ram and Lakshman slayed the demon Kaband here. After he was killed, Kabandh became a Gandharva and left for his heavenly abode. Before leaving he had requested Shri Ram to visit the Ashram of Shabari.B) Shabri Ashram: Sureban, Near Ramdurg, Belgaum: Around 14 kilometers in the Northern direction from Ram Durg, near the town of Gunga is placed called Sureban. This is place where Shabri, who was a disciple of Sage Matang lived. She had waited long years for her dear Ram to arrive, and on his arrival she fed him berries which she hadtasted herself to make sure that they were sweet. This angered Lakshman but Shri Ram pacifiedhim because he could see her intense love and devotion towards him. It was Shabri who theninstructed Ram to approach Sugreev in the search for his beloved wife.
- 10) Hampi, Karnataka :A) Hanuman Halli: Koppal, Hampi: This was the place where Hanuman met Shri Ram and Lakshman for the first time. In fact Sugreev had sent Hanuman to meet with them in order to make sure that they were not the spies of his brother and archenemy Bali. The might Hanuman lifted Shri Ram and Lakshman on his shoulders and took them on Rishimukh Parvat to meet with Sugreev. The capital city of Sugreev 'Kishkinda' is also near by.B) Bellari, Hampi: Near the ancient Kishkinda, around four kilometers from the town of Hampi, there exists a Mountain called Malbhavant (Prastravan) where Shri Ram has spent the monsoon season. The places to see around this area include Bali Bandara, Anjani Parvat (mountain), Matang Rishi Mountain, Spatik Sheela. It was on the Spatik Sheela that the Varan (monkey) Sena (army) had collected for the first time. Hanuman had given the news of Sita to Shri Ram at this place.

- 11) Tiruchallapalli, Tamil Nadu: The old name for this town is Trishirapalli. This was the abode for Ravan's brother Trishira and so named after him. On the banks of the Kaveri River here there is a beautiful Shiva Temple, which is said to destroy sins. According to popular legend, Shri Ram had prayed to Lord Shiva here in order to free himself of the sin of slaying Khar and Dooshan. On his way to Lanka, Shri Ram had stayed here.
- 12) Rampad, Kodikarai, Vedaranyam, Tamil Nadu: Along with the entire Vanar (money) Sena (army), Shri Ram had proceeded towards the Southerndirection from this town. It was also from this place that Shri Ram had the first view of the sea. The footprints of Shri Ram are still found in the forests of this area.
- 13) Ramanadhapuram, Tamil Nadu: Ramnathpuram is on the shores of the waters bodies on the Southern tip of India. It is on the way to holy pilgrim town of Rameshwaram. It is believed that the foundation stone of the Ram-Setu Bridge constructed by Ram and the entire army to cross over to Sri Lanka is placed here in a small village called 'Chedu Karai'. One can still see the foundation stones of this architectural wonder ten feet below the waters of the ocean. Vibhishan, after having been insulted by Ravan came to seek the help of Ram at this place. The entire strategy for the war was also devised in this town. Places worth to visit in the neighborhood include Vilundi Tirth, Ekanth Ram, Agni Tirth, Ram Jaroka, Kodanda Ram Mandir, Jata Tirth and Darbhashainam. It is believed that it was in Darbha shainam, that Shri Ram made a Darbashayana (a seat of grass) and prayed to Varun Devta (God of the Sea) for three continuous days for giving him passage to Lanka. Varun Devta appeared after three days and advised Ram to build a bridge across the sea to Lanka.
- 14) Rameshvaram, Tamil Nadu:Rameshwaram is one of the twelve Jyotirlings in India. Shri Ram had established a Shiva LingaTemple here using the sand from the sea. Approximately one or two kilometers from thisTemple, Nala vanara (monkey) along with the other vanars (monkeys) had made the bridge to Lanka. This bridge was constructed in five days only. Shri Ram crossed over to Lanka with his entire army using this bridge and camped at Suvel Parvat (Mountain). NASA has used modern satellite technology to photograph this bridge and they have actually unearthed an ancient bridge connected India to modern day Sri Lanka!
- 15) Dhanushkoti: Skanda Purana in reference to Setu Mahatmya describes: 'On the shores of the Southern Seas is the most sacred and boon-bestowing Dhanushkodi which is also the high point of destroying 'Maha Patakas' like Brahma Hatya, Suraapaana, Swarna harana, Guru-Shishyadi gamana. This is also the provider of plentiful prosperity and Kailasa Moksha Prada. It uproots indebtedness and poverty for ever. Incidentally, Dhanushkoti partially got submerged into Sea owing to recent cyclonic devastation and partly ascribed to Shri Rama's own arrows. This historic meeting point of three high Seas of Hind Sagara-Bay of Bengal and Arabian Sea is the hallowed Tirtha for Sacred Snaanas, Shraddha-Pinda pradaanas and Daanas. The Legend continues to state that Lord Shri Rama after killing Ravanasura and his generation except Vibhishana who was subsequently made the King of Lanka, there followed a series of awe- inspiring incidents like Devi Sita's Agni Pariksha, Hanuman's despatch to Kasi to fetch a genuine Shiva Linga for installation at Raneshwara, his delayed action to do so, Devi Sita's installation of Sand Linga, and travel byPushpaka Vimana back to Ayodhya for the most auspicious Shri Sita-Rama Kalyana at Ayodhya!

AYODHYA KHANDA

CONTENTS

Preface

Introduction

Retrospective (Essence of Vaalmiki Baala Ramayana)

Sarga One: Considering Shri Rama's eligibility for Ayodhya's Yuvarajatva, King Dasharatha convenes a durbar meeting

Sarga Two: King Dashatatha secures public approval for Rama's Yuvarajatva [Vishleshana on Gandharva Veda

Sarga Three: Dasharatha discusses the details of Rama's Rajyabhisheka with Vasishtha and asks Rama to attend the Rajya sabha

Sarga Four: Shri Rama seeks his mother Devi Koushlya's blessings and endears Lakshmana **Sarga Five:** Dasharatha and Vasishtha ask Rama and Sita to observe fasting before the celebrations of Yuvarajatva- Vishleshana on Kings Nahusha and Yayati

Sarga Six: Ayodhya public's joy and pre-celebrations

Sarga Seven: Villianous Manthara gets upset on Rama's Yuvarajatva and reaches Kaikeya and provokes

Sarga Eight:Kaikeyi defends Rama for his ability but Manthara seeks to poison Kaikeyi's mindset suggesting Rama's Vana Vaasa and Bharata's elevation as Yuvaraaja.

Sarga Nine: Fully poisoned by Mandhara, Kaikeyi enters 'Kopa griha'- the symbolic Anger Chamber

Sarga Ten: King Dasharatha seeks to pacify her beloved queen Kaikeyi

Sarga Eleven: Kaikeyi seeks to remind of Dasharatha's promise of granting her of two boons at a battle as she saved him, demands Rama's 'vana vaasa'/ Bharata's Rajyabhisheka

Sarga Twelve: Dasharatha's remorse at Kaikeyi's undue demands even having admitted the boons and pleads with Kaikeyi not to insist but in vain - [Vishleshanas about Kings Shiabya and Alarka]

Sarga Thirteen: Dasharatha's intense cryings and persistent pleadings with Kaikeyi but she argued in the name of dharma citing the tradition of truthfulness of Ikshvaku ancestors-[Vishlesana on Yayati]

Sarga Fourteen: Kaikeyi's stubbuornness to relent - Vashishta Maharshis intervetion fails and Charioteer Sumanra asked for Rama's arrival at the King's Palace [Vishleshana on Vamanavatara was detailed in Essence of Vaalmiki Bala Ramayana but some excerpts are given for ready reference] **Sarga Fifteen:** Sumanta arrives at Rama's palace

Sarga Sixteen: Rama and Lakshmana on the way to King's Palace enjoying public's joy at Rama's elevation

Sarga Seventeen: Excellent preparations in the city for the celebrations by the following day **Sarga Eighteen:** Rama witnessing heart broken Dasharatha and Kaikeyi's rude intervention demanding Rama's Vana Vaasa for fourteen years in prscirbed dress code and of Bharat's Kingship

Sarga Nineteen: Rama agrees to her terms and proceeds to Kouashalya to break the news **Sarga Twenty:** Koushalya's sudden and of tragic news leads to agony and standstill

senselessness as Rama seeks to pacify

Sarga Twenty One: Lakshmana gets agitated at the turn of the events and so did Kousalya but Rama assuages their badly hurt psyche, but Rama explains that 'pitru vaakya paripaalana' ought to be his life's motto and dharma [Vishleshanas on 1. Bhagiratha and 2. Parashu Rama]

Sarga Twenty Two: Rama asked Lakshmana to remove all the preparatory materials like the vessels etc. meant for his Rajyabhisheka since that would be unwanted then

Sarga Twenty Three: Reacting to remove the material for Rajyabhishaka, Lakshmana argued whether the decicision was correct, but Rama once again reiterated as irrevocable

Sarga Twenty Four: Devi Kousalya, reacting sharply about Rama's decisiveness to undergo to vana vaasa and Devi Sita to follow him, and Rama invoked the argument of her preserving Pativratya and should not desert her husband

Sarga Twenty Five: With great difficulty, Rama finally convinces Kousalya to let him leave for 'vana vaasa'and she relented finally [Vishleshanas: Vritrasura- Dadhiti-Indra; Vinata - Garuda-Amrita.

Sarga Twenty Six: As Rama left Kousalya with mutual anguish, the Public too was unaware of the tragic developent, much less Devi Sita who was horrified

Sarga Twenty Seven: Devi pleads her accompanying Rama for the forest life.

[Vishlesana of Ashta Siddhis]

Sarga Twenty Eight: Rama dissuades Sita to accompany him for Vana Vaasa

Sarga

Twenty Nine: Sita invokes her 'Paativratya Dharma' and insists Sarga Thirty: Devi Sita sobs heavily and Rama had to finally concede

[Vishleshana 1. on Devi Savitri- Satyavan- Yama Raja- and Satyavan's Lasting relief and 2. Surya Deva and Sanjana Devi]

Sarga Thirty One: Lakshmana too insists on accompanying Rama- latter agrees;

Rama desires of offering charities

Sarga Thirty Two: Sita Rama's charity to Vasishtha Kumara Sujyagjna and wife-

brahmanas, brahmacharis, servants

Sarga Thirty Three: Sita Rama Lakshmanas visit Kaikeyas's palace to meet Dasharatha as Nagara vaasis weep away

Sarga Thirty Four: Sita Rama Lakshmanas approach Dasharatha with queens before vana vaasa; the latter swoons and recovers and embraces them and swoons again

Sarga Thirty Five: Sumantra criticizes Kaikeyi as the latter justifies

Sarga Thirty Six: Dasharatha instructs treasure to be sent along with Sumatra for initial

phase of vana vaasa; Vishleshana on Sagara Chakravarti and his son Asamanjasa **Sarga Thirty Seven:** Rama Lakshmans dressed up in valkala vastras but Maharshi Vasishtha rejects Sita wearing that dress

Sarga Thirty Eight: Dasharatha too rejects Sita wearing Valkava vastras even as

Kaikeyi was unhappy, but Rama approves

Sarga Thirty Nine: Dasharatha breaks into cryings, Sunantra arrives with the chariot, Sita receives 'pati seva upadesha' from Kousalya, Rama Sita Lakshmanas bid farewell to all.

Sarga Forty: Sita Rama Lakshmanas perform pradakshinas to Dasharatha and the mothers, Sita Rama Lakshmanas alight the chariot and the crowds get terribly agitated; -[Vishleshana on Meru Mountain and Surya Deva]

Sarga Forty One: As the unruly crowd was interrupting the Chariot several times, the citizens were crying away aloud shatterring the skies, especially the women folk

Sarga Forty Two: King Dasharatha cries and swoons for Rama, distances from Kaikeyi's palace and shifts to Kousalya's

Sarga Forty Three: Maha Rani Kousalya's agony

Sarga Forty Four: Devi Sumitra assuages Kousalya's tormented psyche; [Vishleshana on Rama's killing Subahu Rakshasa: Refer Essence of Valmiki Baala Ramayana Sarga Thirty: **Sarga Forty Five:** Rama appeals to the Ayodhya public not to hurt Dasaratha or Bharata-

elders insist on following Rama upto Tamasa river banks

Sarga Forty Six: Rama Sita Lakshmana's over night stay at Tamasa banks- they leave ealiest unnoticed- public felt bad

Sarga Forty Seven: Ayodhya elders and women got disturbed inability to see off Ramas to the deeper forests crossing Tamasa

Sarga Forty Eight: Ayodhya woman folk cry away Rama Sita Lakshmanas for

further 'vana vaasa'- Vishleshana on Tapatrayas

Sarga Forty Nine: Public of Kosala Janapada throng at the Chariot carrying Ramas who

also cross Veda shruti-Gomati-Skandika rivers

Sarga Fifty: Ramas arrive at Shringavera pura on the banks of Ganga- stay overnight-

and Nishada Raja Guha welcomes them-[Vishleshana on Parama Shiva's 'Jataajuta' vide Sarga Forty

Three of Valmiki Baala Ramayana is quoted]

Sarga Fifty One: Lakshmana - Guha feel and exchange expressions of sadness

Sarga Fifty Two: Guha navigates Sita Rama Lakshmanas across Ganga- Rama bids farewell to the reluctant Sumamtra- Sita's intense prayers to the Sacred Ganga- after crossing Ganga reach Vatsa desha for night halt- [Vishleshanas: 1) on Vaanaprastha Dharma as quoted brom Manu Smriti -2) on Prayaga

Sarga Fifty Three: As Rama asks Lakshmana to return back to Ayodhya at least now but

Lakshmana protests

Sarga Fifty Four: Ramas reach Bharadvaaja ashram and the Maharshi advises them

to settle at Chitrakoota mountain - Vishleshana on Chitrakoota

Sarga Fifty Five: Ramas cross Yamuna from Prayaga- Sita prays to Yamuna- their

overnight stay at otherside of Yamuna

Sarga Fifty Six: Ramas reach Chitrakoota-Maharshi Valmiki at ashram- latter teaches Lakshnana to build 'Rama Kuteera'-Vishleshana on Vaastu Shastra: Matsya Purana

Sarga Fifty Seven: Sumantra reaches Ayodhya- 'aarta naadaas' by public and

Dasharatha and queens

Sarga Fifty Eight: Sumantra conveys Shri Rama- Lakshmanas's messages to the parents

Sarga Fifty Nine: Condition of the Ayodhya public and at the state of Rama's

distresses Dashatratha extremely

Sarga Sixty: Anguish of Devi Kouasalya sought to be assuaged by Sumantra

Sarga Sixty One: Kousalya's crying protests against Dasharatha

Sarga Sixty Two: Regretful Dasharatha with folded hands and prostrations seeks pardon

from Kousalya

Sarga Sixty Three: Dasaratha's confession to Kousalya about his youthful blunder

of killing a Muni Kumara

Sarga Sixty Four: Having revealed details of the Muni hatya, the helpless cryings of his blind parents,

Vriddha Muni's curse that Dasaradha would die in son's absence, Dasharatha collapsed to death!

[Vishlesanas:i) on the process of death-ii) departed jeevatma-iii: Yama-iv: Mrityu Sukta

Sarga Sixty Five: Pursuant to Dasharatha's death, his queeens cried out, deathwise- praises and music

followed

Sarga Sixty Six: Queens, Ministers and staff- and public vision the body as retained in oil vessels

Sarga Sixty Seven: Maharshis assemble with Purohita Vasishtha to decide on the

succsessor King - [Vishleshana on an Ideal Kingship vide Manu Smriti-Achaara Khanda]

Sarga Sixty Eight: Vashishtha despaches messengers to Kaikeya kingdom to bring Bharata along with

Shatrughna.

Sarga Sixty Nine: As messengers arrive at Bharata's place, the latter felt 'dussyapnas' early morning

Sarga Seventy: Ayodhya's messengers arrive at Bharat's maternal uncle's palace,

bring gifts and message to return

Sarga Seventy One: Bharata Shatrughnas arrive at Ayodhya and found the city as

silent and listless!

Sarga Seventy Two: Bharata reaches Kaikeyi palace and hears the news of his father's

demise- Rama Sita Lakshmana 'vana vaasa' and Bharata's rajyaabhisheka!

Sarga Seventy Three: The rattled up Bharata protests violently and detests

Kaikevi's evil mindedness

Sarga Seventy Four: Bharata's open protests against Kaikeyi

Vishleshana on Surabhi

Sarga Seventy Five: Bharata's 'shapatha' / swearing in the presence of Kousalya

Sarga Seventy Six: Raja Dasharatha's 'antyeshthi' / 'dahana samskaara' [Vishleshanas fromTaittireeya Aranyaka: The departed 'jeevatma' discarding life behind is accompanied by Lord Yama- departed Soul-Pushan- Sayavari / cow- widow-and Agni]

Sarga Seventy Seven: Bharatha performs Dashartha's 'shraaddha karma' and 'maha daanaas'-collection of ashes and 'nimajjana'- 'daaha samskaara'

Sarga Seventy Eight: Shatrugna attacks the villainess Kubja, the servant maid of Kaikeyi, to senselessness and spares her death!

Sarga Seventy Nine: Ministers propose Bharata's 'rajyabhisheka'- but the latter proposes only temporary authority as Shri Rama ought to be the real King.

Sarga Eighty: Bharata initiates the constuction of comfortable 'Raja Marga' from Rivers Sarayu to banks of Ganga.

Sarga Eighty One: As 'mangala vaadyas' were heard on a morning, Bharata felt uneasy and asked Vasishtha to come to Rajya sabha with Ministers and officials

Sarga Eighty Two: Bharata disagrees with Vasishtha that kingship was Rama's birth right and only a passing solution now

Sarga Eighty Three: Bharata's vana yatra and night halt at Shringaverapura Sarga Eighty Four: Nishaada Raja hosts Bharata's overnight stay before crossing Ganga the next day

Sarga Eighty Five: Bharata and Nishada Raja exchange viwes of Rama's magnanimity

Sarga Eighty Six: Nishada Raja extols about the nobility and devotion

to Rama of Lakshmana

Sarga Eighty Seven: On hearing details of Rama Sita Lakshmanas, Bharata swooned down, Shatrugna and the mothers cried away, and persisted on the details of the threesome regardin their food and sleeping patterns.

Sarga Eighty Eight: Guha showed the bed of 'kusha grass' by which Sita Ramas slept on that night and the 'valkala vastras' left behind.

Sarga Eighty Nine: Bharata accompanied by sena, mothers, Munis and public arrives at Bharadvaaja ashram

Sarga Ninety: Bharata visits Bharadwaja 'ashram'

Sarga Ninety One: Bharadvaja bestows Bharata and entire entourage including vast

army a heavenly hospitality

Sarga Ninety Two: Bharata introduces his three mothers and Bharadvaja blesses them

and indicates the way to Chitrakoota- Vishleshana on Dwadasa Aadityas

Sarga Ninety Three: Bharata's Chitrakoota yatra described

Sarga Ninety Four: Shri Rama shows the beauty and grandeur of Chitrakoota to Sita **Sarga Ninety Five:** Shri Rama displays the exquisiteness of River Mandakini to Sita

Sarga Ninety Six: As the wild beasts and birds running astray of Chitrakoota, Lakshmana went up atop a shaala tree as an army was nearing and Lakshmana was angered

Sarga Ninety Seven: As Lakshmana saw Bharata approaching, he got angry

but Rama cooled him down

Sarga Ninety Eight: Bharata and advance party located Rama's 'kuteera'

and visited the details inside

Sarga Ninety Nine: Bharata Shatrughnas locate Rama, prostrate - crying

Sarga One Hundred: Shri Rama having enquired Bharata's welfare gave elaborate

lessons of Kshatra Dharmas on his own- [Vishleshanas 1) on King's adminitrative skill 2)on Videsha Neeti as per Manu Smriti]

Sarga One Hundred One: Rama asks Bharata the reason of his arrival- Bharata requests him to return and accept Kingship; but Rama refuses

Sarga One Hundred and Two: Bharata requests Rama to reconsider Kingship and informs King Dasharath's sad demise.

Sarga One Hundred and Three: Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas cry away at father's death-offerings of tarpana

and pinda daana -[Vishleshana on Tapana Vidhaana]

Sarga Hundred and Four: With Vasishtha ahead the three Devis arrive, all the

sons prostrate the mothers and Vasishtha too

Sarga One Hundred and Five: Bharata broaches about Rama's return & kingship **Sarga One Hundred and Six:** Bharata again pesters Rama to assume kingship

Sarga One Hundred and Seven: Shri Rama instructs Bharata to return to Ayodhya at once[Vishleshanas

in reference to a) Gayaasura and b) Puta / Prithu Chakravarti]

Sarga One hundred and eight: Muni Jaabali supports Bharata and his arguments

that sounded spread of 'nastikata'

Sarga One Hundred and Nine: Rama asserts that karma and rebirth are the

corner stones of 'Astikata'

Sarga One Hundred and Ten: Vasishtha traces the geneology of Ikshvaku-

Vamsha and asks to uphold its fame and assume Kinghip as the eldest son of Dasharatha

[Vishleshana of Varaha:]

Sarga One Hundred and Eleven: Shri Rama reiterates that 'Pitru Agjna' was

paramount yet doubled edged that he should undergo vana vaasa and Bharata should rule for that period!

Sarga One Hundred and Twelve: As Bharata was not ready yet to return to

Ayodhya, Shri Rama grants his 'charana paadukaas' and finally bid farewell to Bharata and the entourage **Sarga On Hundred and Thirteen:** Bharata and the entourage reach back to Maharshi Bharadwaja's ashram and return to Ayodhya

Sarga One Hundred and Fourteen: On return to Ayodhyam Bharata realises

the sad state of the city of Ayodhdya

Sarga One Hundred and Fifteen: Bharata instals Shri Rama 'Paadukaas'

at Nandigrama and administers Ayodhya from there

Stanza One Hundred Sixteen: All the Rishis of Chitra koota commenced

leaving the place due to problems of Rakshasas

Sarga One Hundred Seventeen: Sita Rama Lakshmanas too decided to leave

Chitrakoota and proceeded to Maharashi Ashram of Atri and Maha Pativrata Anasuya

Vishleshana about Devi Anasuya

Sarga One hundred and Eighteen: Devis Anasuya and Sita exchange views-

Anasuya gives gifts to Sita- Sita describes her 'swayamvara'

[Vishleshana on Savitri and Rohini Devi Pativrataas: 1. Sati Savitri: (Refer Sarga Thirty above.)]

Sarga One Hundred and Nineteen: Thus Devi Sita having accepted the gifts

from Devi Anasuya reaches Shri Rama for overnight stay at Atri Maharshi Ashram for further journey

Shri Ramachandracharanou manasaa smaraami, Shri Rama chandra charanou vachasagrunaami, Shri Ramachandracharanou shirasaa namaami, Shri Ramachandra sharanam prapadye/ My reverences to Shri Rama with a bowed head, memory in mind, stuti in speech, and my body in total surrender!

ESSENCE OF VALMIKI AYODHYA RAMAYANA

PREFACE

The Epic of Valmiki Ramayana- *Rama Aayana*- denotes Shri Rama's journey from vice to virtue. This is relevant now as much as in the past -present and for ever as narrated in Six Khandas or sugar cane stems viz. Baala Khanda-Ayodhya Khanda- Aranya Khanda-Kishkinda Khanda- Sundara Khanda-Yuddha Khanda. Baala Khanda comprises seventy seven Sargas- Ayodhya Khanda one hundred nineteen Sargas-Aranya Khanda has seventy five Sargas-Kishkindha Khanda has sixty seven Sargas-Sundara Khanda comprises of sixty eight Sargas- Yuddha Khanda has one twenty eight Sargas. Addtionally Uttara Khanda has one hundred eleven Sargas. The current presentation is relevant to Baala Khanda.

As I had the fortune of approaching HH Vijayendra Sarasvati of Kanchi Kamakoti, who for the last fifteen years or so, blessed me to script the essence of over Ashtaadasha Puranas, Ashtadasha Upanishads, Brahma Sutras, Dharma Sindhu, Manu Smriti, Paraashara Smriti, Soundarya Lahari, and on Pancha Bhutas- Surya- Chandra-Lakshmi-Saraswati - Ganesha-Bhagavad Gita and so on. Then he spontaneously directed me to attempt Vaalmiki Ramayana in parts but with posible 'vishleshanas' or explanatory notes as per the contexts of situations and characters referred to. Indeed this is a massive effort but I have his unimaginable blessings.

The present script is a maiden effort of the endless 'Itihasa'. The Instruction is that the digestive exercise be gradual, since centuries old countless versions of Ramayana are available or unavailable, but each such Scripts from 'taala grandhaas' to the paper world had been absorbed as per the inner grasping vibrations subjectively. Hence the physical intakes of pathana-manana- nidhi dhyaasas are objective realistically.

'Baala Khanda' is the **trend setter** in as the Yuga Purusha Rama blossoms. That was how Maharshi Vaalmiki encourages Rama's second generation of Lava Kusha Kumaras to sing for us the overview of Ramayana vide the fourth sarga itself!

From 'Baalya' to adolescent youthfulness, Brahmarshi Vishmamitra literally pushes to a jolt to King Dasharatha by equipping Shri Rama with 'astra-shastra vidya' to fight viciousness and vindicate Dharma and Nyaya. The saga and the role of Vishvamitra from a King to a Brahmarshi is the base note of the symphony of Baala Kanda. The fleeting picturisation of the Demons and Sages alike in the Baala Ramayana is a process of transformation of the Society then and now. The struggle continues as an integral part of Existence and as like an ever staged drama through years- centuries- yugas -kalpas of the eternal time cycle.

It is my fortune to imagine as to how the Seers of the yore had showerd the flows of 'dhaarmic' nectar on HH Vijayendra Saraswati of Kanchi who in turn alllows drops on countless followers like us and to our families too.

VDN Rao and family

Contents

Preface

Salutations

Introduction

Sarga one: Valmiki enquires of Brahmarshi Narada to identify the Purushottama of Tretayuga - Vishlesh<u>anas - Ikshvaaku Vamsha; Rules of 'Dharma Yuddha'; Chitrakuta mountain; Agastya; Shabari; Anjaneya: origin and illustrative stutis; Rama Rajya; Ideal kingship; Ashvamedha Yagyna</u>

<u>Sarga Two:</u> Maharshi Valmiki while bathing in Tamasa River gets aghast seeing a couple of frolicking Krouncha birds shot down by merciless hunter and his expression was the beginning of Valmiki Ramayana!

Sarga Three: The overview of Ramayana by Maharshi in his trance;

Sarga Four: This Valmiki Ramayana of 24000 stanzas was sung by Lava- Kusha kumars of Shri Rama Devi Sita at a Conference of Muni Mandali before Shri Rama : <u>Vishleshanas: Nava Rasaas; Gandharva Vidya;</u>

Sarga Five: From the ongoing Vaivaswa Manvantara till King Dasharatha to Shri Rama. <u>Vishleshanas on Sagara Chakravarti to Bhagiratha; Ayodhya; Kingship duties;</u>

Sargas Six-Seven; eight to Nine: Dashararatha-Vasishtha- Ministers and Charioteer Sumantra plan to perform Ashvamedha Yagna and despatch request to Maha Rishyashringa; <u>Vishleshana on Rishyashringa</u>

Sargas Ten -Eleven ; Twelve to Thirteen: Historic Arrival of Rishyashringa heralding season to rains/ There after Vasishthashtha gave to the King 'yagjna diksha' - removed evil influences - made arrangements of the yagjna like architecture, construction and maintenance; groups of jyotishadi vedangas; workforce; nata- naatya -nartaka groups,cooking, culinary,construction of colonies, conference Halls etc.

Sarga Fourteen: Ashva medha yagjna performed gloriously <u>Visleshanas on: Homa kunda- bhojanas of bhakshya-bhojya-lehya- choshya- paneeyaas; Ritviks of yagjna;</u>

Sarga Fifteen: Putra Kaamekshi Yagjna- Celestials preparing for arrival of Maha Purusha <u>Vishleshana:</u> Putra Kamekshti from Dharma Sindhu.

Sarga Sixteen: Devas and Indra approached Vishnu to desrtoy Ravasnasura as Vishnu said only in human form Rama, Dasharatha's son could to so. At the Yagjna, a Maha Purusha emerged from the flames and handed over a 'payasa patra' to Dasharatha to distribute to his three queens as instructed.

Sarga Seventeen: As Rama-Lakshmana-Bharata-Shatrugnas were born thus, Indra and Devas manifested 'Vaanaraas' including Hanuman with Ashta Siddhis. <u>Visleshnana on Ashta siddhis</u>.

Sarga Eighteen: Dasharatha distributes 'payasa' to queens Koushalya-Sumitra- Kaikeyi Samskararas to Ramaadi Kumaras; <u>Vishleshana on Star-wise birth results; Naama karana- Janmaadi Samskaras; Dolarohana - dugdha paana- jalapuja- Suryaavalokana- nishkramana- Anna Praashana - 'Dhanurveda' (The Science of Archery and Weaponry) and Rules of Battle; Lakshmana the manifestation of Adi Shesha;</u>

Sargas Nineteen-Twenty-Twenty One: Arrival of Brahmarshi Vishvamitra at Ayodhya to King Dasharatha. <u>Vishleshanas: Brahmarshi Vishvamitra: 1. Gayatri Mantra- Vishvamitra and Harischandra-Vishvamitra and Vasishtha as their rivalry leads to be birds-</u>

Sarga Twenty two: Vasishtha assured Dasharatha about Shri Rama's safety in safeguarding the Vishvamitra Yagina as the satisfied King allowed Rama Lakshmanas and teach Bala-Atibala.

Sarga Twenty three: The trio reached Angamuni Ashram

Sarga Twenty four: Sarayu-Ganga confluence at Malada- Kurusha Villages where Indra hid;the reason was that Indra killed brahmana Vritraasura. <u>Vishleshana: on Vritrasura and Indra's Brahma</u> hatya dosha- They enter 'Tataka Vana'

Sargas Twenty five and twenty six: Rama Lakshmanas encounter Tataka and Vishmamitra prevails on stree hatya

Sargas Twenty seven and twenty eight: Vishvamitra teaches most of archery mantras to Rama Lakshmanas

Sarga Twenty nine: Vishvamitra takes Rama brothers to the 'Vamana Ashrama '<u>Vishleshana on Bali</u> Chakravarti and Vamana avatara

Sarga Thirty: Yagjnasspoilt in other ashramas by Maricha Subahus punished by Rama

Sarga Thirty one: 'Ashramavashis' conveyed about Janaka's Yagina and Shiva Dhanush

Sargas Thirty two-three-four: Vishvamitra seeks take heros to Siddhashrama by difficult terrain and explains about adjacent Kusha Desha, King Kushanabha, Apsara daughters and Vayu Deva

Sarga Thirty Five-Six-Seven: By boat from Shonabhadra to Ganges, Vishvamitra explains about flows of Ganges - birth of Skanda- <u>Vishleshana on Skanda Janma: Padma-Skanda-Matsya Puranas</u>

Sarga Thirty Eight/ Nine: King Sagara's tapasya for sons- queen Sumati begets 60,000 strong sons while Keshini just only Asamanjasa. Sagara planned Ashvamesha yagna, Indra stole the Sacrificial horse- Sumati's strong sons searched bhuloka-and patalas with pomp and noise-Kapila Muni curses the sons in patala to become stones-Vishleshanas: Adho lokas- Kapila Maharshi.

Sargas Forty to Forty Two: Asamanjasa goes in search and conveys the result to Sagara who dies- King Asamanjasa gaveup hopes and so does his son Amshuman and the latter's son Dilip. But Bhagiradha takes up the thread and prays to Ganga from skies at Gokarna Tirtha. <u>Vishleshanas on 1)</u> Gokarna Tirtha and 2) on Bhagiratha from Brahma Vaivarta and Maha Bhagavata Puranas. .

Sargas Forty Three and four: Bhagiratha standing by foot fingers, invoked Maha Deva Vishleshanas: on Gangotri and Haridwara; Devi Ganga: post Bhagiratha

Sarga Forty five: Crossing Ganga, Rama approaching Vaishali asked about Deva Danavas

<u>Vishleshanason Kashyapa and Diti and Aditi; Masya Purana: on Kurmaavatara, 'Amrita Mathana', Kaalakuta and Devi Mohini; Maha Bhagavatga Purana: Mammoth Churning of Ocean for 'Amrit')</u>

Sarga Forty Six: Having failed to secure Amrit, Diti- daitya mother- seeks to destroy Indra Vishleshanas: Brahmanda Purana": Diti revengeful of Indra and 'Pumsavana' Sacrifice; Maha Bhagavata about Marud Ganas: As Diti fell asleep unconcsiously, Indra entered her Garbha with his 'Vajraayudha', saw the fully grown up boy inside, cajoled him saying 'don't cry, don't cry' and sliced the child into seven parts and further to forty nine sub-parts.

Sargas Forty Seven: Vishvamitra stated that they were at that very place where above instances had occured when there was an Ikshvaaku Kings Kakutstha- Sumati and then proceed to Mithila the kingdom of Janaka Raja!

Sarga Forty Eight and Nine :Sumati showed the way to Gautama Ashram en route Mithila. <u>Vishleshana:Indra assuming Gautama's form takes Ahalya to bed, the latter's wife - a supreme</u> PativrataGanesha Purana.

Sargas Fifty: Entering King Janaka's Yagnyashaala, Vishvamitra introduces Rama Lalshmanas and their acts of glory so far to King Janaka and his Purohita 'Shataananda'

Sargas Fifty One: Having congratulated Rama Lakshmanas, Shatananda makes a detialed coverage on the lifestory of Vishvamitra who as a Kshatriya King through tapsyas became a Brahmarshi!

Sargas Fifty two to Fifty Six: King Vishvamitra sighted Shabali Kamadhenu and demands it but was refused; in a battle Shabala smashed thee army but the latter took to severe tapasya.

Sarga Fifty Seven: Brahma blesses Vishvavmitra be the status of Maharshi

Sarga Fifty Eight-Nine-Sixty: Trishanku desires to reach swarga being mortal and Vishvamitra creates a mid- sky swarga with his tapo bala; <u>Vishleshana: Vishvamitra creates Trishanku swarga</u>

Sargas Sixty One and two: Ambarisha performs Yagjna at Pushkara but as sacrifice animal was stolen, a 'nara pashu boy' was arranged - Vishvamitra took pity but to no avail; got entangled instead by co-Munis. Vishleshana on Pushkara Tirtha from Kurma- Padma Puranas and Maha Bharata.

Sargas Sixty Three and four: Vishvamitra disturbed by 'Menaka' at Pushkara, then shifted to heights of himalayas when 'Rambha' disturbed too.

Sarga Sixty five: Ultimatelyeven as Indra ever stole his food, Maharshi stopped his breathing but kept on his tapsya on Brahma, and the latter conferred the title of 'Brahmarshi'!

Sarga Sixty six: Vishmamitra conveys Rama's desire to show Shiva Dhanush and Janaka gives the background of the Dhanush; King Nimi was gifted Shiva Dhanush at his son Devarata's wedding; <u>Vishleshana: Nimi and Daksha Yagnya.</u>- Devi Sita as 'Ayonija' as Janaka tills bhuyagjna.

Sarga Sixty seven: Rama lifted up the Shiva Dhanush as if it were a toy, straightened it with great ease, held the middle part, and as though of a child play broke into two pieces. That breaking resulted in earthshaking like reverberations. King Janaka said: Once wedded to Shri Rama, my daughter ought to be proud to his life partner and bring in glory to Janaka vamsha! Brahmarshi said: tathaastu!

Sarga Sixty eight: King Janaka sent a messenger to King Dasharatha to state: Shri Rama in the midst of all of us had managed the control and breaking of the age old Shiva Dhanush and as per my repeated announcements would like to propose my daughter Devi Sita to Shri Rama in a wedding ceremony and therefore request you to attend the same along with your queens and the entire retenue. Besides Rama and Devi Sita, may we also propose the wedding of Lakshmana with my younger daughter Urmila too'. , Dasharadha was pleased and addressed Vasishtha and Ministers to leave next morning.

Sarga Sixty nine: Accompanied by Gurus, wives and intimate and other relatives and friends, King Dasharatha was happy and blissful and instructed Sumantra to let the royal treasurer carry surplus funds of cash, jewellery, nine gems ahead and for their safety there ought to be fool proof defence arrange - ments. A four day procession with needed halts on way moved on with plentiful food and drinks. On their arrival at the outskirts of the Kingdom, King Janaka made elaborate reception with music, song, dance and ecstatic welcome showers of flowers.

Sarga Seventy: In an open Janaka Sabha, Vasishtha narrated the glory of Ikshvaku Vamsha: Brahma Deva the Swayambhu manifested Marichi, from the latter was born Kashyapa whose son was Vivisvaan as the latter gave birth to Vaivasvata Manu. Manu was the foremost Prajapati and from Manu was born Ikshvaku the first King of Ayodhya. Then were highlighted: Pruthu-Mandhata-Sagara- Bhagiratha-Ambareesha-Nahusha-Yayati-Naabhaga- Aja-and Dasharatha. Vishleshanas on: Pruthu-Yuvanashra-Mandhata-Purukusta- Muchukunda-Nahusha- and Yayati.

Sarga Seventy one: King Janaka explained about his vamsha from renowned King Nimi, whose son named <u>Mithi</u>being the ever first Janaka as the 'vamsha' known as of Janakas. Then he introduced Kushadhvaja his younger brother desirous of getting his two daughters to Bharata and Shatrughna and declared Mandaveeka and Shutakeerti as their respective wives. respectively.

Sarga Seventy Two and three: Public Declarations were made in the presence of Kings, Maharshis, and the public and hectic preparations were made; The vivahika vedika was got ready befitting the status and magnificence of two great Kings. Then Janaka welcomed the brides and bridegrooms.

Sargas Seventy Four- Five-Six: After the festivities concluded, guests were shovered with precious gifts, the groom's party moved back on the return journey but a terrible sand storm was faced. Parashu Rama arrived shouting 'Rama Rama' with terrible anger as the Shiva Dhanush was broken. Dasharatha tried to pacify but with anger, handed over Vishnu Dhanush and challenging Rama to break it if at all possible. An angry Rama not only lifted the dhanush as though Vishnu did against Madhukaitabha daityas but stated that with that very dhanush he could as well demolish Parashu Rama too! An utterly humiliated Parashu Rama was then instructed to return to Mahendra Mountain for ever! Vishleshanas on Madhu Kaitabha daityas; Parashu Rama- Kartaveryarjuna from Ganesha-Brahmanda Puranas . 155&157

Sarga Seventy Seven: As the rerurn procession finally reached the city of Ayodhya, it was ready with dhwaja-patakas, welcome sounds of drums and music, dances and decoratons. Dasharatha along with his sons and new daughters-in-law along with the Queens made an auspicious entry. Later, Raja Kumaras shared royal responsibilities. Rama and Sita became famed as Vishnu and Lakshmi. **Annextures:**

a) Rama's Uttara Bharata Parikrama before wedding b) Vanayasa parikrama

INTRODUCTION

Essence of Valmiki Ayodhya Ramayana is a sequel to the Essence of Valmiki Bala Ramayana. Maharshi Valmiki while bathing in Tamasa River gets aghast seeing a couple of frolicking Krouncha birds shot down by a merciless hunter and his expression was the inspirational beginning of Valmiki Ramayana! The incident of cruelty causing suffering to any Living Being, be it a human, animal or bird would surely result in a retaliatory rebound either in the same birth or the following birth. Such acts of 'adharma' inciting 'mara mara' or expressions of killings of the innocents could be nullified by the reversal expressions of 'raama raama' or the transformtion of 'Rama Ayana' or from 'adharma' to 'dharma' or the travel of transformation. This is relevant now as much as in the past -present and for ever as narrated in Six Khandas or sugar cane stems viz. Baala Khanda-Ayodhya Khanda- Aranya Khanda-Kishkinda Khanda- Sundara Khanda-Yuddha Khanda. Baala Khanda comprises seventy seven Sargas-Ayodhya Khanda one hundred nineteen Sargas-Aranya Khanda has seventy five Sargas-Kishkindha Khanda has sixty seven Sargas-Sundara Khanda comprises of sixty eight Sargas- Yuddha Khanda has one twenty eight Sargas. Addtionally Uttara Khanda has one hundred eleven Sargas. The current presentation is relevant to Ayodhya Khanda

RETROSPECTIVE *

[*Essence of Valmiki Bala Ramayana]

Brahmarshi Narada initiated the delineation of Shri Rama to Valmiki Maharshi and thereafter departed for a bath in river Tamasa near Ganga along with his disciples; he addressed his shishya named Bharadvaaja and expressed as to how refreshing was the bath. As he looked around, he spotted on the banks of the cool water flows, two krouncha birds in chirrupping play and fun in a nest on a tree branch. But just then a cruel hunter released an arrow at the loving male bird which got dropped dead in blood and the female bird crooned in anguish and misery. The two love birds had always been together infatuated with each other and Muni Valmiki was truly pained and hurt in his heart and inner conscious ness. The natural instinct of the Maharshi prompted him involuntarily to burst out rather reprimandingly: Mā nisāda pratisthām tvam agamah śāśvatīh samāh, yat krauñcamithunād ekam avadhīh kāmamohitam/ 'Hey hunter! Why have you so mercilessly killed the male partner of such loving birds suddenly! You too would soon die as a retribution!' Having shoutedspontaneously thus, the Maharshi got retrospective and addressed his disciples that a few words were slipped from my tongue as the feeling was intense! The sishyas replied unanimously: Guru sire! Whar ever has slipped out from your tongue has admirably fitted itself in a four lined stanza of glory with rhythmic sound metered with perfection of eight letters of prosody just as a 'veenaa dhyani' of the stringed musical instrument! The prime disciple Bharadwaja instantly agreed affirmingly that a meaningful stanza by framed as what the Guru has stated involuntarily! As this incident had happened, the entire troupe concluded their bath and moved on to their ashram even as the hot deliberation of the entire ashram was on the singular topic of the day. The Guru shishya 'samvada' on the principles of dharma took place subsequently although the background was basically hovering on the morning incident only. Meanwhile, the Charurmukha Brahma himself appeared and alerted Valmiki Maharshi. The latter was taken aback and prostrated to Brahma along paadyaarghya- aasana-puja- stotra formalities while Brahma endearingly made the Maharshi seated comfortalby beside him. But the Maharshi was at the back of his mind about the morning incident especially recalling what he stated at that juncture. Brahma smilingly understood what the Maharshi was cogitating about recalling what all the Maharshi stated. He then suggested: 'Maharshi! What you had stated spontaneously as a stanza was truly as per 'chhandas' or prosody and need not torment your psyche so much; let this stanza under reference be the inspiration of scripting the entirety of 'Rama charitra'; Bhagavan Shri Rama as the incarnation of Maha Vishnu Himself was indeed the exemplary human figure of the Treta Yuga of virtue- sacrifice-charity-tolerance but simultaneously of bravey-heroism-and everlasting renown! This was what Brahmarshi Narada conveyed to Valmiki Muni as having expressed by Brahma to Narada. Let this Rama Charitra be publicised so far kept dormant and undescribed and let the world be aware of the completed details as to how dharma prevails as the lasting reality, despite the vicissitudes and tests of Adharma as Truth is vindicated ultimately. Narada with the inspiration of Brahma affirmed to Valmiki Maharshi! What ever you are going to script as the 'Ramayana'- Rama's Aayana- shall most certainly be the truth and factual and hence be prepared soon as per 'anushthup cchhandas'. Yāvat sthāsvanti giravah saritaś ca mahītale, tāvad rāmāyaṇakathā lokeṣu pracariṣyati/ yāvad rāmasya ca kathā tvatkṛtā pracariṣyati, tāvad ūrdhvam adhaś ca tvaṁ mallokeṣu nivatsyasi/ 'As long as rivers flow and the might of mountains is sustained, the worlds should be fully saturated with 'Ramayana Prachaara'. The Ramayana that you would script soon ought to become popular world wide and what ever seriatum and content followd by you would be lasting too! Narada thus informed Valmiki after the disappearance of Lord Brahma. Valmiki Maharshi was nonplussed with the rapid sequence of what all happened on that day. Once sensitised thus, the disciples of Valmiki kept on resounding repeatedly the shloka as they were literally dipped steep in. At the same time Valmiki Maharshi was mentally getting ready to take up the enormous task of Ramanayana of twenty four thousand stanzas plus and seeking to select the style of scripting according to meter as per 'chhando vedaanga', with tuneful phrases, conjunctions, and rhymes with aptness and of tunes enriching the content and inner meanings and appropriate emotional appeals embedded therein. As per Brahmarshi Narada's directive, Valmiki Maharshi sought to script of Sampurna Ramayana as it should be such as to fulfill the 'Chaturvidha Phala' or the human aspirations of Dharma- Artha- Kaama- Mokshas. Then he dutifully squatted in 'padmaasana', performed 'aouposhana' of water as a mark of 'trikarana shuddhhi' or three folded purity of manasa-vaachaa-karmana or by way of topping up the thoughts by the heart-word -and deed. Then he pondered over the imaginary picture of Shri Rama- Lakshmana- Devi Sita; the Ayodhya Kingdom reigned by King Dasharatha with his queens; the related incidents of their collective incidents of laughters-mutual converastions-thought patterns, the do's and don'ts of administration, and such detailing as filled on his powerful thought and memory screen. The Maharshi imagined the scene of the visits of Rama- Lakshmana and Devi Sita in sprawling garden tours and the interesting incidents thereof. Then the Maharshi seated firmly and had a rapid visual coverage on his mental retina. Just on the lines of what Sage Narada described, he visualised the Raghuvamsha Rama's 'Kaavya Nirmana' or the outline of the epic of Ramayana. Rama's birth, his outstanding bravery, his ready amiability to one and all, his unique popularity, his extreme patience and sense of forgiveness, his unparalleled truthfulness are to be emphasised on the memory screen. Maharshi Valmiki then imprinted on the screen as to how Rama and Lakshmana duo had experienced the amusing as also auspicious acts in the pioneering company of Sage Vishvamitra as imprinted on his retina including Shurpanakha's teaching a lesson, Mithila King Janaka's announcement of Devi Sita's swayamvara, Shiva Dhanush bhanga in an encounter with Parashu Rama and Shri Rama Samvada, detailings of weddings of Sita Rama and Urmila Lakshmana; Rama Rajyaabhisheka vighna, the

villianous role of Kaikeyi, Rama Lakshmana Sita Vana Vaasa, Dasharatha shoka vilaapa followed by his death, the sorrow of the public, the devotion of Guha the boatman, the charioteer Sumanta's loyalty.

Maharshi Valmiki's trance continued: Shri Rama, Lakshmana and Devi Sita reaching Ganges-Bharadwaaja Muni darshana and as per his directive reaching Chitra Koota and enjoying the grandeur of its surroundings and building up a hutment for the threesome to live in-arrival of Bharata to meet them and requesting them to return back - performing the remainder obsequies of their departed father-Bharata's return with the 'Rama Paduka' on his head to keep it back on the 'Rajya Simhasana' with veneration- Bharata's stay at Nandigrama-Rama's trio move out to dandaka -aranya-Viraadha vadha-Sharabhangi Muni darshana- Suteekshana samaagama- Anasuya and Sita devi together for some time Devi Anasuya the daughter of Kardama Muni and the wife of Atri Maharshi residing in their hermitage in the periphery of Chitrakuta- being the mother of Dattatreya as Tri Murtis sought to test her chastity but converted them as toddling babes, popular as Maha Pativratas like Ahalya, Draupadi, Sita, Tara, Mandodari, Anasuya and Sumati] Having heard the background of Devi Sita's life, Anasuya gifted a miraculous ointment which could maintain her beauty and paativratya for ever!] - Maharshi Agastya darshana as he gifted Vaishnava dhanush to Rama-confrontation with Surpanakha and Lakshmana's cutting off her ears and nose- Shri Rama's killing of Khara- Dushana- Trishira's killings by Rama- his killing of Maricha disguised as a golden deer desired by Devi Sita- avenging his sister Shurpanakha's act, Ravanasura disguised as a Muni forcibly abducts Devi Sita- Shri Rama's heart -pangs of due to Devi viyoga- Jatayu vadha by Ravanaasura- Rama Lakshmana getting snared by Kabandha the headless demon and their killing of the demon-Rama Lakshmana thrilled by the surroundings of Pampa sarovara- Shabari blessed by Shri Rama- the latter's severe pangs of Devi Sita Viyoga- meeting Hanuman at the foothills of 'Gandhamaadana' mount and along with Hanuman escorted to the exiled Vaanara King, Sugreevafirming up friendship with Sugreeva-Baali Sugeeva battle- Rama's killing Baali- Sugreeva regained the Kingship- Devi Tara the widow of Baali cries away and Rama assuaging her sorrow-'sharatkaala' interrugnam months put a stop of Sugreeva's search for Devi Sita's whereabouts- Sugreeva 'pratijna' or swearing for 'Sita anveshana' or her whereabouts and his extensive for her- the blind Kite Sampati, the brother of Jatayu, with inner vision bestowed by Surya Deva, finally makes a break through of pointing out at Lanka the other side of the ocean shores under King Ravana's rule-Hanuman despatched to Lanka with Rama's golden ring to convince Devi Sita in exile- Hanuman seeks cross the ocean- Sumudra Deva warns Hanuman about 'Minaaki' who would rise up to halt but to be warned by Hanuman, Raakshasi 'Simhini' the shadow detector as Hanuman was flying be killed by him and 'Trikuta' mountatain the indicator of Lanka. Hanuman clearly followed the indicators by Samudra and entered the kingdom of Ravana's Lanka at midnight time. Being lonely he pondered over the next step as he peeped in the palace of Ravana who was enjoying liquor and then waited for the day break assuming a mini monkey form in the Ashoka Vatika and having spotted Devi Sita brooding with successive cryings when he saw Ravana visiting her too as she was surrounded by female rakshasis headed by Trijata. On the exit of Ravana, Hanuman sneaked in and having assumed his normal form approached Devi Sita with prostrations and gave his introduction as the devout follower as a Rama Bhakta. To convince Devi Sita, he handed over Lord Shri Rama's finger ring of gold- in return she gave her 'choodaamani'. Thereafter Hanuman resorted to violent deastruction of Lanka's capital city helterskelter as the army of Lanka was annihilated and the survivals fled away. He then purposively surrended by himself so that he would be taken away to the King Ravana who was seated the royal court. In the court, Hanuman thundered and with his tail elongated and got lit up by the Ravana sena burnt off all over the city regions creating a huge scare of the Lanka Capital. There after, Hanuman crossed back the ocean, participated in a revelling party to the waiting comonkey camrades in the Madhuvan, approached Shri Rama and conceyed about the welfare of Devi Sita and gave back her 'choodamani' the hair ornament as a memoir, made preparations for travel to Lanka, Rama's interaction with Samudra Deva, Nala the architect constructs a setu bridge across the Sea to let the Vanara Sena and the Selves walkk over, overnight surrounding bt Rama Sena around Lanka, Vibbhishana- Shri Rama 'maitri', Vibhishana giving hints of killing Ravana, Rama's killing of the massive Kumbhakarna, killing of Meghanatha the son of Ravana, Ravana Vinaasha, Devi Sita's final relief, Vibhishana pattaabhisheka at Lanka, Rama's pushpaka vimana yatra with Sita-Lakshmana-Hanuman and Vibhushana and the full entourage to Ayodhya, Bharata's warm reception, Shri Rama - Devi Sita pattaabhisheka celebrations, warm send off to vaanara sena, Devi Sita 'tyaaga' to forests on false accusations by a washerman in Ayodhya, her subsequent happenings and the future episodes were picturesquely described by the oustanding Valmiki Maharshi of eternal fame.

Sarga One

Considering Shri Rama's eligibility for Ayodhya's Yuvarajatva, King Dasharatha convenes a durbar meeting

Kasya cit tv atha kālasya rājā daśarathaḥ sutam, bharatam kekayīputram abravīd raghunandanaḥ/ ayam kekayarājasya putro vasati putraka, tvām netum āgato vīra yudhājin mātulas tava/ śrutvā daśaratha svaitad bharatah kekayīsutah, gamanāvābhicakrāma śatrughnasahitas tadā/ āprcchya pitaram śūro rāmam cāklistakāriņam, mātrīms cāpi narasresthah satrughnasahito yayau/ yudhājit prāpya bharatam saśatrughnam praharşitaḥ, svapuram prāviśad vīraḥ pitā tasya tutoṣa ha/ sa tatra nyavasad bhrātrā saha satkārasatkŗtaḥ, mātulenāśvapatinā putrasnehena lālitah/ tatrāpi nivasantau tau tarpyamānau ca kāmatah, bhrātarau smaratām vīrau vṛddham daśaratham nṛpam rājāpi tau mahātejāh sasmāra prositau sutau, ubhau bharataśatrughnau mahendravarunopamau/ sarva eva tu tasyestāś catvārah puruşarşabhāh, svaśarīrād vinirvṛttāś catvāra iva bāhavah/ teṣām api mahātejā rāmo ratikarah pituḥ, svavambhūr iva bhūtānām babhūva gunavattarah/ gate ca bharate rāmo laksmanas ca mahābalah, pitaram devasamkāśam pūjayām āsatus tadā/ pitur ājñām puraskrtya paurakāryāni sarvaśah, cakāra rāmo dharmātmā priyāni ca hitāni ca/mātrbhyo mātrkāryāni krtvā paramayantritah, gurūnām gurukāryāni kāle kāle 'nvavaiksata/ evam daśarathah prīto brāhmanā naigamās tathā, rāmasya śīlavrttena sarve visayavāsinah/ sa hi nityam praśāntātmā mṛdupūrvam ca bhāsate ucyamāno 'pi paruşam nottaram pratipadyate/katham cid upakāreņa krtenaikena tuşyati, na smaraty apakārāṇām śatam apy ātmavattayā/ śīlavrddhair jñānavrddhair vayovrddhaiśca sajjanaih, kathayann āsta vai nityam astravogyāntaresv api/ kalvānābhijanah sādhur adīnah satvavāg rjuh, vrddhair abhivinītaś ca dvijair dharmārthadarśibhih/ dharmārthakāmatattvajñah smṛtimān pratibhāvanān,laukike samayācare kṛtakalpo viśāradaḥ/ śāstrajñaś ca kṛtajñaś ca puruṣāntarakovidaḥ, yaḥ pragrahānugrahayor yathānyāyam vicaksanah/āyakarmany upāyajñah samdrstavyayakarmavit, śraisthyam śāstrasamūhesu prāpto vyāmiśrakesv api/ arthadharmau ca samgrhya sukhatantro na cālasah, vaihārikānām śilpānām vijñātārthavibhāgavit/ārohe vinaye caiva yukto vāranavājinām, dhanurvedavidām śrestho loke 'tirathasammataḥ/ abhiyātā prahartā ca senānayaviśāradaḥ, apradhṛṣyaś ca samgrāme kruddhair api surāsuraih/ anasūyo jitakrodho na drpto na ca matsarī, na cāvamantā bhūtānām na ca kālavaśānugah/ evam śraisthair gunair yuktah prajānām pārthivātmajah, sammatas trisu lokesu vasudhāyāh kṣamāguṇaiḥ, buddhyā bṛhaspates tulyo vīryeṇāpi śacīpateḥ/ tathā sarvaprajākāntaiḥ prītisamjananaiḥ pituh, gunair viruruce rāmo dīptah sūrva ivāmsubhih/ tam evamvrttasampannam apradhrsva parākramam, lokapālopamam nātham akāmayata medinī/ etais tu bahubhir yuktam guṇair anupamaiḥ sutam, dṛṣṭvā daśaratho rājā cakre cintām paramtapaḥ/ eṣā hy asya parā prītir hṛdi samparivartate, kadā nāma sutam draksyāmy abhisiktam aham priyam/ vrddhikāmo hi lokasya sarvabhūtānukampanah, mattah priyataro loke parjanya iya yrstimān/ yamaśakrasamo vīrye brhaspatisamo matau,

mahīdharasamo dhṛtyām mattaś ca guṇavattaraḥ/ mahīm aham imām kṛtsnām adhitiṣṭhantam ātmajam, anena vayasā dṛṣṭvā yathā svargam avāpnuyām/ tam samīkṣya mahārājo yuktam samuditair guṇaiḥ, niścitya sacivaiḥ sārdham yuvarājam amanyata/ nānānagaravāstavyān pṛthagjānapadān api, samānināya medinyāḥ pradhānān pṛthivīpatiḥ/ atha rājavitīrṇeṣu vividheṣv āsaneṣu ca, rājānam evābhimukhā niṣedur niyatā nṛpāḥ/ sa labdhamānair vinayānvitair nṛpaiḥ; purālayair jānapadaiś ca mānavaith, upopaviṣṭair nṛpatir vṛto babhau; sahasracakṣur bhagavān ivāmaraiḥ/

Consequent on King Dasharatha's return from Mithila after the glorious weddings of Shri Rama with Devi Sita as wells as of Lakshmana-Bharata- Shatrugnas with Devis Urmila-Mandaveeka and Shutakeeri, and settling back at Ayodhya, Rama had increasingly taken over the responsibilities of the kingdom ably assisted by Lakshmana. Bharata Satrughnas left for their residence of maternal uncle Yudhajita the King of Ashvayutha, as the latter was extremely fond of the Princes. King Dasharatha in course of time felt the absence of Bharata Shatughnas who too had turned out to be valiant warriors of virtue. Indeed he felt like a four armed Vishnu himself with two arms were away. At the same time, he had always felt that Shri Rama was like Maha Vishnu Himself; indeed. Was he not destined to show up on Earth to destroy the worst symbol of Viciousness named Ravanaasura and revive Dharma and Nyaya! Equally blissful was the prime Queen Devi Koushalya just as Devi Aditi was fond of Indra Himself! Truly, Shri Rama was not only exemplary with graceful and radiant body build but an unparalleled intrepidity. He was ever peaceful in his countenance and sweet in his voice; even when he heard harsh voices, he would reply smilingly, softly yet firmly. He would always reciprocate goodness to the helpful but never carry vengeance to the unhelpful, yet never hesitate to punish the evil. As per his Kshaatriya Dharma, he had always been kind, magnanimous, and providing safety to the needy thus being exemplary to his upbringing. While avoiding any thing inauspicious, his counsels and deeds were of what Brihaspati, the Deva Guru would be like. He was not only an erudite scholar and of convincing speech maker having digested the essence of vedavedanga- yuddha dharmas and what was more a practitioner besides being a preacher appealing to the commoners and the intellecuals alike. In the context of the finnesse of 'Astra Vidya' he excelled his father- since Brahmarshi Vishmamitra trained him thoroughly vide Bala Kanda. Shri Rama was an outstanding practitioner of the 'chatushta purusha paramarthas' of Dharma-Artha-Kaama-Mokshas keeping in view the prevailing social conditions. He had been seeking to act upon the counsels of Gurus in which he had retained trust and devotion and ever anchored to the traditional precepts of proven perepheries. Besides having been bestowed with such practical and virtuous decisiveness, Shri Rama was a known linguist, an outstanding expert of fine arts of music-dance-painting -sculpture - handicrafts and also of sports, entertainment, and group activities. Anasūyo jitakrodho na drpto na ca matsarī, na cāvamantā bhūtānām na ca kālavaśānugah/ evam śraisthair guṇair yuktaḥ prajānām pārthivātmajaḥ,sammatas triṣu lokeṣu vasudhāyāḥ kṣamāguṇaiḥ, buddhyā bṛhaspates tulyo vīryeṇāpi śacīpateh/ tathā sarvaprajākāntaih prītisamjananaih pituh, gunair viruruce rāmo dīptah sūrya ivāmśubhih/ Such is the glory of Rama devoid of any shortcoming of his multi sided magnificence but is replete with idealism worthy of commendation in trilokas. Just as Surya Deva is known for his spendour by his endless rays of brightness, Shri Rama is thus famed for his countless qualities of excellence. Tam evamvyttasampannam apradhysva parākramam, lokapālopamam nātham akāmayata medinī/ This type of a 'sadaachaara sampanna' or of qualities of excellence of conduct Shri Rama be decided to be the King of Earth! Indeed the enemies of this Illustrious Kingdom had already been concerned that such a perfectionst would be soon enough turn out as the potential King and this had by now crept into the psyche of the comity of kingdoms. Atha Raagino babhuvaiva vriddhasya chirajeevinah, preetereshaa katham Rama

Raja syaanmayi jeevati/King Dasharatha had thus been planning and cogitating seriously that Shri Rama be blessed to take over as Yuva Raja the 'primo geniture' soon. In fact, his mind had been churning his mind as to how soon that this might fructify as Shri Rama had already become mature for the elevated status just as black clouds had hovered over the sky and that the ripe time had arrived for the monsoon to break any time! Mahīm aham imām kṛtsnām adhitisthantam ātmajam, anena vayasā dṛṣṭvā yathā svargam avāpnuyām/ tam samīkṣya mahārājo yuktam samuditair guṇaiḥ, niścitya sacivaiḥ sārdham yuvarājam amanyata/King Dasharatha longed to visualize soon a situation when Shri Rama should soon become a chakravarti of the entire earth and in course of time he might leave for swarga with that glory to be fulfilled. Thus King Dasharatha's decision impelled his ministers and close associates in the Royal Court to be convened to finalise the arrangements. At the same time, in his mind there were lurking fears and expressed them too to the closed session of ministers and others. Eventually, King Dasharatha instructed that all the required arrangements for the big event be made publicly. He convened a conclave of the contemporary Kings and Ministers to make the significant announcement, along with the very important personalities of his and other kingdoms too. However he had somehow not been able to intimate the great news to King Kaikeya - besides Bharata Shatrughnas- and to Mithila Kings as he was very confident that both the Kings would get excited about the most significant development any way!

Sarga Two

King Dashatatha secures public approval for Rama's Yuvarajatva

Tataḥ pariṣadam sarvām āmantrya vasudhādhipaḥ, hitam uddharṣaṇam cedam uvācāpratimam vacah/ dundubhisvanakalpena gambhīreṇānunādinā, svareṇa mahatā rājā jīgmūta iva nādayan/ so 'ham iksvākubhih pūrvair narendraih paripālitam, śrevasā voktukāmo 'smi sukhārham akhilam jagat/ mayāpy ācaritam pūrvaih panthānam anugacchatā, prajā nityam atandrena vathāśakty abhiraksatā/ idam śarīram kṛtsnasya lokasya caratā hitam, pāṇḍur asyātapatrasyac chāyāyām jaritam mayā/ prāpya varşasahasrāni bahūny āyūmṣi jīvitah, jīrṇasyāsya śarīrasya viśrāntim abhirocaye/ rājaprabhāvajuṣṭām hi durvahām ajitendriyaiḥ, pariśrānto 'smi lokasya gurvīm dharmadhuram vahan/ so 'ham viśramam icchāmi putram krtvā prajāhite, samnikrstān imān sarvān anumānya dvijarsabhān/ anujāto hi me sarvair guṇair jyeṣṭho mamātmajaḥ, puramdarasamo vīrye rāmaḥ parapuramjayaḥ/ tam candram iva puṣyeṇa yuktam dharmabhṛtām varam, yauvarājyena yoktāsmi prītah purusapumgavam/ anurūpah sa vo nātho laksmīvāmil laksmanāgrajah, trailokyam api nāthena yena syān nāthavattaram/ anena śreyasā sadyah samyojyāham imām mahīm, gatakleśo bhaviṣyāmi sute tasmin niveśya vai/ iti bruvantam muditāh pratyanandan nṛpā nṛpam, vṛṣṭimantam mahāmegham nardantam iva barhiṇaḥ/ tasya dharmārthaviduso bhāvam ājñāya sarvaśah, ūcuś ca manasā jñātvā vṛddham daśaratham nṛpam anekavarṣasāhasro vrddhas tvam asi pārthiva, sa rāmam yuvarājānam abhisiñcasva pārthivam/ iti tadvacanam śrutvā rājā teṣām manaḥpriyam, ajānann iva jijñāsur idam vacanam abravīt/ katham nu mayi dharmeṇa pṛthivīm anuśāsati, bhavanto drastum icchanti yuvarājam mamātmajam/ te tam ūcur mahātmānam paurajānapadaiḥ saha, bahavo nṛpa kalyāṇā guṇāḥ putrasya santi te/ divyair guṇaiḥ śakrasamo rāmaḥ satyaparākramaḥ, ikṣvākubhyo hi sarvebhyo 'py atirakto viśāmpate/ rāmaḥ satpuruṣo loke satyadharmaparāyaṇaḥ, dharmajñaḥ satyasamdhaś ca śīlavān anasūyakaḥ/ kṣāntaḥ sāntvayitā ślakṣṇaḥ kṛtajño vijitendriyaḥ, mṛduś ca sthiracittaś ca sadā bhavyo 'nasūyakaḥ/ priyavādī ca bhūtānām satyavādī ca rāghavah, bahuśrutānām vṛddhānām brāhmaṇānām upāsitā/ tenāsyehātulā kīrtir yaśas tejaś ca vardhate, devāsuramanuṣyāṇām sarvāstreṣu viśāradaḥ/ yadā vrajati samgrāmam grāmārthe nagarasya vā, gatvā saumitrisahito nāvijitya nivartate/ samgrāmāt punar āgamya kuñjarena rathena vā, paurān svajanavan nityam kuśalam pariprcchati/ putresv agnisu dāresu presyaśisyaganesu ca, nikhilenānupūrvyā ca pitā putrān ivaurasān/ śuśrūsante ca vah śisyāh kaccit karmasu damśitāh, iti nah purusavyāghrah sadā rāmo 'bhibhāsate/ vyasanesu manusyānām bhṛśam bhavati duhkhitah, utsavesu ca

sarveṣu piteva parituṣyati/ satyavādī maheṣvāso vṛddhasevī jitendriyaḥ, vatsaḥ śreyasi jātas te diṣṭyāsau tava rāghavaḥ, diṣṭyā putraguṇair yukto mārīca iva kaśyapaḥ/ balam ārogyam āyuś ca rāmasya viditātmanaḥ, āśaṁsate janaḥ sarvo rāṣṭre puravare tathā/ abhyantaraś ca bāhyaś ca paurajānapado janaḥ, striyo vṛddhās taruṇyaś ca sāyaṁprātaḥ samāhitāḥ/ sarvān devān namasyanti rāmasyārthe yaśasvinaḥ, teṣām āyācitaṁ deva tvatprasādāt samṛdhyatām, rāmam indīvaraśyāmaṁ sarvaśatrunibarhaṇam, paśyāmo yauvarājyasthaṁ tava rājottamātmajam/ taṁ devadevopamam ātmajaṁ te; sarvasya lokasya hite niviṣṭam, hitāya naḥ kṣipram udārajuṣṭaṁ; mudābhiṣektuṁ varada tvam arhasi/

King Dasharatha initiated the proceedings of the Maha Sabha in his thunderous voice in high and excited voice addressing the invitiees stating that in the true traditions of Ikshavaku Vamsha, the administration in his kingdom had been as per the footprints of dharma and nyaaya and for the welfare of all the sections of the Society. Sincere endeavors had been made to safeguard the rightful demands of the public and to make this Kingdom a star in the comity of the kingdoms. For some sixty thousand and odd years, my lifetime had gradually started dwindling my ertstwhile body strength and mental alertness and had come to demand retirement. so 'ham viśramam icchāmi putram krtvā prajāhite, samnikrstān imān sarvān anumānya dvijarsabhān/ anujāto hi me sarvair gunair jyestho mamātmajah, puramdarasamo vīrye rāmaḥ parapuramjayaḥ/Therefore, with the approval of learned pandits, ministers, and now from you all, I would like to propose my eldest son Shri Rama for the kingship next as his glory had been well recognised as of Indra Himself in valour and mental strength. Tam candram iva pusyena yuktam dharmabhrtām varam, yauvarājyena yoktāsmi prītaḥ puruṣapumgavam/ In terms of ability and proven maturity, Rama be therefore named to take over the status of Yuva Raja by the next day's pushya nakshakra! Hence Rama the elder and true follower Lakshmana would assist in the discharge of the responsibilities of Royalty. anena śreyasā sadyah samyojyāham imām mahīm, gatakleśo bhavisyāmi sute tasmin niveśya vai/ Dasharatha further affirmed: I should therefore soon bless Shri Rama by enrusting the auspicious responsibility of kingship and be happy and contented. Even as the announcement was thus made, the audience including the co-kings and the learned responded positively and unanimously and readily congratulated King Dasharatha with clappings and loud cheers. One after another in the audience especially the Kings and also the learned panditas showered encomiums on Shri Rama- his popularity, his energy, his level of balance of thinking, ability to express his conviction and skilful aptitude to enforce the rules. They said: rāmah satpuruso loke satyadharmaparāyaṇaḥ, dharmajñaḥ satyasamdhaś ca śīlavān anasūyakaḥ/ kṣāntaḥ sāntvayitā ślakṣṇaḥ kṛtajño vijitendriyaḥ, mṛduś ca sthiracittaś ca sadā bhavyo 'nasūyakah/ In this entire 'samsara' Rama should be an ideal satya vaadi- satya parayana satpurusha and 'saakshaat' or ever-ready epitome of exemplariness. He is the singular provider of contentment and calmness to all Beings like Chandra and at the sametime of the quality of forgiving one's shortages of lapses like Mother Earth. He is like Brihaspati in 'buddhi' or mental maturity and knowledge, and in valour and invincibility like Devendra himself. Shr Rama is known as a dharmagina, satya pratigjna, sheela vaan, deena duhkha saantvana, mridu bhaashi, kritagjna, jetendriya, komala svabhaava, sthira buddhi, kalyana kari, asuyaa rahita, satya vaadi. At the same time, he excels in 'dhanurvidya' far above the levels of devas-asuraas, manushyas. Gandharvecha bhuvi shreshtho babhuva Bharataagraja/ Bharataagraja Shri Rama is also an expert of 'gandharva veda' or of sangeeta shastra whom none on earth could compete with.him.

[Vishleshana on Gandharva Veda: In the Swara Shastra, the Swara of Archika is related to Rig Veda, 'Gaandhik' is to 'Gaadha' and 'Saamik' is to Sama Veda. A 'Swara' is according to 'Ruchas' (Hymns) and their variations, while in 'Gathas' or metered rhythemic verses Sama Veda has 'Vyavadhaanas' or

pauses. The Yagina stotras, karanas and Mantras are required to be pronounced as per Swaras; otherwise they turn out to be 'Viruddha Swaras'. In the entire 'Vangmaya' Shastra (Vocabulary), pronounciation originates from 'Vakshasthala' (chest), 'Kantha' (throat) and 'Mastaka' (head); from the chest emerges the low level sounds normally resorted to morning singing, from the Kantha emerge the medium and very broad variety of sounds and from Mastaka are emanated high pitch sounds and their variations of volume. The Sapta Swaras-Sa, Ri, Ga, Ma, Pa, Da, and Ni-are 'Prathama' (Shadaja), 'Dwitiya' (Rishabha), 'Tritiya' (Gandhara), 'Chaturtha' (Madhyama), 'Mandra' (Panchama), 'Krushtha' (Dhaivata) and 'Atiswara' (Nishadha). Shadaja-Sa- stands for 'Sagar' (Sea) with peacock as the representative bird, 'Muladhara' (the base of the spine) as the Chakra (body part) and the ruling Deity as Ganapati. Rishabha Re-means bull representing the bird Skylark, 'Swadhishtana' or genital as the Chakra and the ruling Deity is Agni. Gandhara Swara 'Ga'means Gagan or Sky with goat as the representative animal, 'Manipura' (solar plexus/ naval) as the Chakra and Rudra is the concerned Deity. Madhyama-Ma-means the Middle, represented by the bird dove, Anahata (heart) being the relevant body part and Vishnu as the Ruler concerned. Panchama-Pa-means the fifth, represented by nightingale and 'Vishuddha' (throat) as the relevant body part and the Ruling Deity is Sage Narada. The Swara titled Dhaiyata-Dha- means Dharti or Earth, the representative animal being horse, the relevant Chakra being 'Aaajna' or the third eye and the Ruler being Sada Shiva. The Seventh Swara viz. Nishada-Ni- meaning Hunter and standing for the animal Elephant, has 'Sahasrara' (the crown of the head) as the body part, the Ruler being Surya as the Deity. Besides the Swaras, Shadaja, Madhyama and Gandhara are known as three 'Graamaas' (gamut or scale in music). Those who render 'Saama Gana' approve twenty graamas in Madhyama Swara, fourteen in Shadaja and fifteen in Gandhara. Source: Narada Purana.]

Sarga Two continued:

In the context of Dharma and Artha of the Purushardhas, Shri Rama had excellent schooling by Veda Panditas; while in the context of security of villages and cities, his excellence along with Lakshmana was such that any detail of an issue had ever been ignored! As and when Rama Lakshnanas return from major battles with thumping success to their kingdom, they get anxious to learn of the welfare of the citizens, be they panditas or agnihotris, or house wives, servants and so on. Even in normal conditions, when Rama Lakshmanas meet other's parents they enquire of the offspring, so also the teachers about their students, kashatriyas about their war materials, and the staff about the treatment from their bosses and so on. Whenever any person faced a tragedy or problem, the famed brothers meet them and readily offer any kind of assistance for ready compliance. The brothers were indeed satyavaadis, maha dhanurdharas, jitendriyas and vriddha jana sevakas. Whenever Shri Rama would initiate conversation with others, he would smile foremost heartily; he would endear, befriend and converse only auspiciousness and never indulge in negativities. Being arrestingly handsome with sparkling eyes, he had been like Vishnu himself. In his conversational style, he was like Brihaspati himself. Ramo lokabhiraamoyam shourya veerya paraakramaihi, prajaapaalana samyukto na raagopahatendriyah/ As he could endear and provide contentment to all the lokaas arising from his invincibility and undefinable bravery of righteousness and administrative excellence, neither traces of his sensuousness nor any of his faulty conduct could ever dare him from his decisive steadfastness. Let alone the earthly matters but of three lokaas too, He is the singularmost personality who could save and safeguard the universe. But his anger against injustice and egoitism could never ever be wasted as a futility. What ever the age old Scriptures prescribed, no penalty would be small that justifies vindication. Tameva guna sampannam Raamam satyaparaakramam, lokapaalopamam naadhamakaayata medini/ It is that type of 'Sarvaguna sampanna', 'sarvalokapaalaka

samaana', 'satya paraakrama' Shri Rama alone would be the most befitting Prithvi palaka indeed. It is that singular most Rama who is needed by Davaasura, manushya, gandharvaas as the favorite King of earth. Most particularly, Ayodhya's older and younger generation especially the feminine community are head over heels passionate to welcome HIM alone as their next King. Rāmam indīvaraśyāmam sarvaśatrunibarhaṇam, paśyāmo yauvarājyastham tava rājottamātmajam/ tam devadevopamam ātmajam te; sarvasya lokasya hite niviṣṭam, hitāya naḥ kṣipram udārajuṣṭam; mudābhiṣektum varada tvam arhasi/King Dasharatha! It is He who has the graceful blue vision luster, 'shatrusamhara samartha', your eldest son of unparalleled glory that one and all would look forward to be anointed as the celebrated Yuva Raja soon.

Sarga Three

Dasharatha discusses the details Rama's Rajyabhisheka with Vasishtha and asks Rama to attend Rajya sabha

Teṣām ajñalipadmāni pragṛhītāni sarvaśaḥ, pratigṛhyābravīd rājā tebhyaḥ priyahitam vacaḥ/ aho 'smi paramaprītaḥ prabhāvaś cātulo mama, yan me jyeṣṭham priyam putram yauvarājyastham icchatha/iti pratyarcya tān rājā brāhmaṇān idam abravīt, vasiṣṭham vāmadevam ca teṣām evopaśṛṇvatām/ caitrah śrīmān ayam māsah puṇyah puṣpitakānanah, yauvarājyāya rāmasya sarvam evopakalpyatām/ kṛtam ity eva cābrūtām abhigamya jagatpatim, yathoktavacanam prītau harşayuktau dvijarşabhau/ tatah sumantram dyutimān rājā vacanam abravīt, rāmah krtātmā bhavatā śīghram ānīvatām iti/ sa tatheti pratijñāya sumantro rājaśāsanāt, rāmam tatrānayām cakre rathena rathinām varam/ atha tatra samāsīnās tadā daśaratham nṛpam, prācyodīcyāḥ pratīcyāś ca dākṣiṇātyāś ca bhūmipāḥ/ mlecchāś cāryāś ca ye cānye vanaśailāntavāsinah, upāsām cakrire sarve tam devā iva vāsavam/ tesām madhye sa rājarsir marutām iva vāsavaḥ, prāsādastho rathagatam dadarśāyāntam ātmajam/ gandharvarājapratimam loke vikhyātapauruṣam, dīrghabāhum mahāsattvam mattamātangagāminam/ candrakāntāna -nam rāmam atīva priyadarśanam, rūpaudāryaguņaih pumsām dṛṣṭicittāpahāriṇam/ gharmābhitaptāḥ parjanyam hlādayantam iva prajāḥ, na tatarpa samāyāntam paśyamāno narādhipaḥ/ avatārya sumantras tam rāghavam syandanottamāt, pituḥ samīpam gacchantam prāñjaliḥ pṛṣṭhato 'nvagāt/ sa tam kailāsaśṛṅgābham prāsādam narapumgavaḥ, āruroha nṛpam draṣṭum saha sūtena rāghavah/ sa prāñjalir abhipretya pranatah pitur antike, nāma svam śrāvayan rāmo vavande caranau pituh/ tam drstvā pranatam pārśve krtāñjaliputam nrpah, grhyāñjalau samākrsya sasvaje priyam ātmajam/ tasmai cābhyudyatam śrīmān maṇikāñcanabhūsitam, dideśa rājā ruciram rāmāya paramāsanam/ tad āsanavaram prāpya vyadīpayata rāghavah, svayeva prabhayā merum udaye vimalo ravih/ tena vibhrājitā tatra sā sabhābhivyarocata, vimalagrahanaksatrā śāradī dyaur ivendunā/ tam paśyamāno nrpatis tutosa priyam ātmajam, alamkrtam ivātmānam ādarśatalasamsthitam/ sa tam sasmitam ābhāṣya putram putravatām varaḥ, uvācedam vaco rājā devendram iva kaśyapaḥ/ jyeṣṭhāyām asi me patnyām sadrśyām sadrśah sutah, utpannas tyam gunaśrestho mama rāmātmajah priyah/ tyayā vatah prajāś cemāh svagunair anurañjitāh, tasmāt tvam pusyayogena yauvarājyam avāpnuhi/kāmatas tvam prakrtyaiva vinīto guņavān asi, guņavaty api tu snehāt putra vakṣyāmi te hitam/ bhūyo vinayam āsthāva bhava nitvam jitendrivah, kāmakrodhasamutthāni tyajethā vyasanāni ca/ paroksavā vartamāno vṛttyā pratyakṣayā tathā, amātyaprabhṛtīh sarvāḥ prakṛtīś cānurañjaya/ tuṣṭānurakṭaprakṛtir yah pālayati medinīm, tasya nandanti mitrāṇi labdhvāmṛtam ivāmarāḥ, tasmāt putra tvam ātmānam niyamyaiya samācara/ tac chrutyā suhrdas tasya rāmasya priyakārinah, tvaritāh śīghram abhyetya kausalyāyai nyavedayan/ sā hiranyam ca gāś caiva ratnāni vividhāni ca, vyādideśa priyākhyebhyah kausalyā pramadottamā/ athābhivādya rājānam ratham āruhya rāghavah, yayau svam dyutimad veśma janaughaiḥ pratipūjitaḥ/

King Dasharatha was overjoyed with the highly enthusiastic and spontaneous response from the 'maha sabha' ranging from co kings to vidvans and commoners. Then Maharshis Vasishtha and Vamadeva expressed that the most suited month for the Yuva Rajaabhisheka of Shri Rama be in Chaitra Month when there would be greenery all around in the Nature. As there was considerable free flow of ideas and plans as to what all be done at the joyous time, King Dasharatha asked Vasishtha Maharshi: abhishakaaya Raamasya yat karma saparicchhadam, tadadya Bhagavan sarvamaagjnaapayitumarhasi/ Vasishtha then announced to the royal staff that procurement be initiated with gold and precious jewels, all kinds of oushadhis, white flower garlands, honey and ghee, new clothings of enormous variety, chariots, asthrasshastras, recruitment of chaturanaga sena, excellent elephants, vyanjanas made of cow tails, dhvajas, white umberllas, all the relevant paraphernaliya's for agni karyas, bright 'kalashas' of varying sizes, tiger skin 'aasanaas'- all to be supplied to the Maha Raja's agni shaala forthwith. Then 'antahpura saamagri'to the entire Ayodhya be supplied including garlands of fresh flowers of fragrance, and door ornamentation of chandana-dhupa-sugandhas. Then varied types of chitraanna, dadhi anna, etc. for lakhs of citizens, apart from morning 'satkaara's to vedic brahmanas along with ample quantities of milk, curd, and dakshinas be arranged. There should be 'swasti vachanas' be before sunrise and arrangements be made of brahmanas and their welfare be arranged. All over Ayodhya there should be festivities with colourful flags, kites on the sky, group dances, and musical instrumentation, especially in the fore grounds of the Royal Court. The festivities should span all over in the temples, conjunctions of four roads, and street ends. There should be provisions for mini-meals and cool drink facilities at market places and a variety of gifts too signifying Shri Rama's elevation. May royal soldiers donned with battle dresses and long swords and headgears step in and out of the fore yards of the royal court to liven up the hearts of the citizens with enthusiasm and fanning up their spirits. Maharshis Vasishtha and Vamadevas thus passed on instructions to to the respective departmental heads for immediate compliance. Having waited for a few hours for the compliance of the instructions and on receipt of feed back, Vasishtha approached King Dasharatha and reported compliance of big and minute actions and conveyed readiness for the much awaited Shri Rama YuvaRaja Pattaabhisheka. The King then called for Sumantra the Royal Charioteer to report to ShriRama and bring him to the Raja Bhavan. There the Kings of all directions were assembled where the King was seated like Lord Indra amid Marud ganas. As Rama made an entry in the court yard, King Dasharatha was happy to receive him even as the former touched the feet of the father as the latter embraced Rama; they proceeded as followed by Sumanta. It appeared there was a flash of sustained radiance as a King of Elephant with poise and grace was walking with the countenance of full moon. There was a whiff of air of congeniality as Rama glanced the dignitaries seated all around. King Dasharatha was so happy with the way Rama was dressed up and looked around that the onlooker co Kings were truly thrilled to vision the ideal faher -son duo of heavenly affinity. Then King Dasharatha addressed Shri Rama as though Kashyapa Maharshi addressed Indra as follows: Jyeşthāyām asi me patnyām sadrśyām sadrśah sutah, utpannas tvam gunaśrestho mama rāmātmajah priyah/ tvayā yatah prajāś cemāh svagunair anurañjitāh, tasmāt tvam puşyayogena yauvarājyam avāpnuhi/kāmatas tvam prakrtyaiva vinīto guņavān asi, gunavaty api tu snehāt putra vaksvāmi te hitam/bhūyo vinavam āsthāva bhava nitvam jitendriyah,kāmakrodhasamutthāni tyajethā vyasanāni ca/ My dear son, Shri Rama, you being my eldest son from the Prime Queen Koushalya, you happen to be of the most eligible with qualities of outstanding excelleence endearing the public and of pride of co Kings, it has been universally approved to become the Yuva Raja of the Kingdom of Ayodhya at Pushya Nakshatra . My sincere counsel to you would be to upkeep and enrich the proven and popular age old principles of Ikshvaku Vamsha of lineage of Kings as a

'Jitendriya' being a controller of 'kama krodha lobha moha mada matsaras'. You should take into account of 'Pratyaksha- Paroksha Nyaya' or justice keeping in view the ready and hidden evidences. You must always keep in humor and excellent affinity with Mantris and Senapatis or Ministers and Heads of Army. Hence my dear son, keep up your equanimity and sharpness of decision making as of an ideal king. In reference to fair sex, keep them always in excellent humor with grace and lenience by gifting them away with jewellery and gold ornaments at all possible opportunities of public or in small groups. As King

Dashratha had counselled Shri Rama this in a conference, the co Kings departed happily, stalwarts of public left too in rejoicement and exultation.

Sarga Four

Shri Rama seeks his mother Devi Koushlya's blessings and endears Lakshmana

Te cāpi paurā nṛpater vacas tac; chrutvā tadā lābham ivestam āpya, narendram āmantya gṛhāni gatvā; devān samānarcur atīva hṛstāh/ gatesv atha nṛpo bhūyah pauresu saha mantribhih, mantrayitvā tataś cakre niścayajñah sa niścayam/ śva eva pusyo bhavitā śvo 'bhisecyeta me sutah, rāmo rājīvatāmrākso yauvarājya iti prabhuḥ/ athāntargrham āviśya rājā daśarathas tadā, sūtam ājñāpayām āsa rāmam punar ihānaya/ pratigṛhya sa tadvākyam sūtaḥ punar upāyayau, rāmasya bhavanam śīghram rāmam ānayitum punah/ dvāhsthair āveditam tasva rāmāvāgamanam punah, śrutvaiva cāpi rāmas tam prāptam śankānvito 'bhavat/ praveśya cainam tvaritam rāmo vacanam abravīt, yad āgamanakṛtyam te bhūyas tad brūhy aśesatah/ tam uvāca tatah sūto rājā tvām drastum icchati, śrutvā pramānam atra tvam gamanāyetarāya vā/ iti sūtavacaḥ śrutvā rāmo 'tha tvarayānvitaḥ, prayayau rājabhavanam punar draṣṭum nareśvaram/ tam śrutvā samanuprāptam rāmam daśaratho nṛpaḥ, praveśayām āsa gṛham vivikṣuḥ priyam uttamam/ praviśann eva ca śrīmān rāghavo bhavanam pituh, dadarśa pitaram dūrāt pranipatya krtāñjalih/ pranamantam samutthāpya tam parisvajya bhūmipah, pradišya cāsmai ruciram āsanam punar abravīt/ rāma vṛddho 'smi dīrghāyur bhuktā bhogā mayepsitāḥ annavadbhiḥ kratuśatais tatheṣṭam bhūridakṣiṇaiḥ/ jātam iṣṭam apatyam me tvam adyānupamam bhuvi, dattam iṣṭam adhītam ca mayā puruşasattama/ anubhūtāni ceşṭāni mayā vīra sukhāni ca, devarşi pitṛviprāṇām anṛno 'smi tathātmanah na kim cin mama kartavyam tavānyatrābhisecanāt, ato yat tvām aham brūyām tan me tvam kartum arhasi/ adya prakṛtayah sarvās tvām icchanti narādhipam, atas tvām yuvarājānam abhiseksyāmi putraka/ api cādyāśubhān rāma svapnān paśyāmi dārunānsanirghātā maholkāś ca patantīha mahāsvanāh/ avastabdham ca me rāma naksatram dārunair grahaih, āvedayanti daivajñāh sūryāṅgārakarāhubhih/ prāyena hi nimittānām īdrśānāṁ samudbhave, rājā vā mṛtyum āpnoti ghorāṁ vāpadam rechati/ tad vāvad eva me ceto na vimuhvati rāghava, tāvad evābhisiñcasva calā hi prāninām matih/ adva candro 'bhyupagatah pusyāt pūrvam punar vasum, śvah pusya yogam nivatam vaksyante daivacintakāh/ tatra puşye 'bhişiñcasva manas tvarayatīva mām, śvas tvāham abhişekṣyāmi yauvarājye paramtapa/ tasmāt tvayādya vratinā niśeyam niyatātmanā, saha vadhvopavastavyā darbhaprastaraśāyinā/ suhrdaś cāpramattās tvām raksantv adya samantatah, bhavanti bahuvighnāni kāryāny evamvidhāni hi/viprositaś ca bharato yāvad eva purād itah, tāvad evābhisekas te prāptakālo mato mama/ kāmam khalu satām vṛtte bhrātā te bharatah sthitah, jyesthānuvartī dharmātmā sānukrośo jitendriyah/ kim tu cittam manusyānām anityam iti me matih, satām ca dharmanityānām kṛtaśobhi ca rāghava/ ity uktaḥ so 'bhyanujñātah śvobhāviny abhişecane, vrajeti rāmaḥ pitaram abhivādyābhyayād grham/ praviśya cātmano veśma rājñoddiste 'bhisecane, tasmin kṣaṇe vinirgatya mātur antaḥpuram yayau/ tatra tām pravanām eva mātaram ksaumavāsinīm, vāgyatām devatāgāre dadarša yācatīm śriyam/ prāg eva cāgatā tatra sumitrā laksmanas tathā, sītā cānāyitā śrutvā priyam rāmābhisecanam/ tasmin kāle hi kausalyā tasthāv āmīlitekṣaṇā, sumitrayānvāsyamānā sītayā lakṣmaṇena ca/ śrutvā puṣyeṇa putrasya yauvarājyābhiṣecanam, prāṇāyāmena puruṣam dhyāyamānā janārdanam/ tathā saniyamām eva so 'bhigamyābhiyādya ca, uyāca yacanam rāmo harsayams tām idam tadā/ amba pitrā niyukto 'smi prajāpālanakarmaņi, bhavitā śvo 'bhiṣeko me yathā me śāsanam pituḥ/ sītayāpy upavastavyā rajanīyam mayā saha, evam rtvigupādhyāyaih saha mām uktavān pitā/ yāni yāny atra yogyāni śvobhāviny abhisecane, tāni me mangalāny adya vaidehyāś caiva kāraya/ etac chrutvā tu kausalyā cirakālābhi kānksitam, harsabāspakalam vākyam idam rāmam abhāsata/ vatsa rāma ciram jīva hatās te paripanthinah, jñātīn me tvam śriyā yuktah sumitrāyāś ca nandaya/ kalyāne bata naksatre mayi jāto 'si putraka, vena tvavā daśaratho gunair ārādhitah pitā/ amogham bata me ksāntam puruse puskareksane. yeyam ikṣvākurājyaśrīh putra tvām samśrayiṣyati/ ity evam ukto mātredam rāmo bhāratam abravīt, prāñjalim prahvam āsīnam abhivīkṣya smayann iva/ lakṣmaṇemām mayā sārdham praśādhi tvam

vasumdharām, dvitīyam me 'ntarātmānam tvām iyam śrīr upasthitā/ saumitre bhunkṣva bhogāms tvam iṣṭān rājyaphalāni ca, jīvitam ca hi rājyam ca tvadartham abhikāmaye/ ity uktvā lakṣmaṇam rāmo mātarāv abhivādya ca, abhyanujñāpya sītām ca jagāma svam niveśanam/

King Dasharatha convened a meeting with his ministers and programmed the Yuvaraja Pattaabhishekha on the next day as that would coincide with the 'pushyami nakshatra'. The over enthusiastic King instructed Sumantra despatched for Rama to arrive as the latter wondered why was the father was asking for him once again so soon. Rama was ushered in and prostrated to the father who embraced Rama with great affection; then Dasharatha stated that he had become old and during his life time, he had countless tasks of virtue including maha yaginas, had conquered several battles, established glory, amassed experience and blessings from Deva- Rishi- Pitru-Brahmana- Prajas alike. He continued further stating that there could be no further ambition for him except to make him the Yuva Raja. Api cādyāśubhān rāma svapnān paśyāmi dāruṇānsanirghātā maholkāś ca patantīha mahāsvanāh/ avaṣṭabdhaṁ ca me rāma nakṣatram dāruṇair grahaiḥ, āvedayanti daivajñāḥ sūryāngārakarāhubhiḥ/ prāyeṇa hi nimittānām īdrśānām samudbhave, rājā vā mrtvum āpnoti ghorām vāpadam rcchati/ My son! Of late, I have been experiencing bad dreams in the nights and even during day times have been witnessing fearful sounds as though there have been frequent falls of meteors. These inauspicious prognostics are indicative that my end of life ought to be round the corner. This indeed is the reason why that I should desire to hasten the process of making you the heir apparent as early as possible. To day, Moon is about to exit Punarvasu nakshatra very soon and enter Pushya nakshatra and hence my great anxiety to take over the position of 'Yuva Rajatva', come what may! To night, control your body senses and along with Devi Sita too practise 'brahmacharya' and 'upavasa', do sleep on a ground mat. This type of precaution would be called for necessarily to ensure that all should pass through well auspiciously. King Dasharatha further stated that even Bharata and Shatrughna were away to their maternal king, the 'abhisheka karya'ought not to be postponed but be completed as planned. Indeed there was no doubt at all that Bharata would readily be happy and consent to Rama's 'pattabhishekha' as he had been a true and ardent follower of Rama's foot steps being a dharmatma, daya swarupa, and jitendriya being truly self restrained and ever fond of Rama. Ragunandana! No doubt even the mentality of self controlled person be wavery at times but certainly not so in respect of Bharata Kumara! Having heard what all had been stated by his father, Shri Rama took leave of the father with admiration and veneration and returned back to his chamber. But since Devi Sita left for his mother Devi Koushalya, he approached the latter's chamber and found that his mother was in meditation with prayers for the auspicious time of Rama's 'abhisheka' should approach soon and without any remote issue whatsoever. On hearing the happy news of Devi Sumitra and Lakshman were excited with excitement and reached Devi Koushalya even as Devi Sita too reached there. That was precisely the time when Koushalya opened her eyes from her meditation, the entirety of Rama-Sita-Sumitra-and Lakshmana were there altogether. Shri Rama prostrated to his mother and stated: Mother! Father has now instructed me to get ready for the 'yuva rajyabhisheka' tomorrow and further gave certain duties tonight to me and Sita and your blessings are sought to let us get ready. As Rama made the statement, the mother was moved with joyful tears and in a bass tone said: Vatsa rāma ciram jīva hatās te paripanthinah, jñātīn me tvam śriyā yuktaḥ sumitrāyāś ca nandaya/ kalyāṇe bata nakṣatre mayi jāto 'si putraka, yena tvayā daśaratho gunair ārādhitah pitā/ amogham bata me ksāntam puruse puskareksane, yeyam ikṣvākurājyaśrīḥ putra tvām samśrayiṣyati/ My beloved son! You were born at an extraordinarily auspicious 'nakshatra' and endeared the father and the whole world. May the hearty and most earnest prayers of mine that had been meditated by me now may come to frution now, without traces of even minutest troubles so that the high flagship of Ikshvaku Lineage be blessed with Rajya Lakshmi for ever! As Shri Rama was blessed bt Devi Koushalya, Shri Rama held both his hands together in endearing effacement and smiled at Lakshmana standing next to both the illustrious mother Devi Sumitra. Rama said: Laksmanemām mayā sārdham praśādhi tvam vasumdharām, dvitīyam me 'ntarātmānam tvām iyam śrīr upasthitā/ saumitre bhunksva bhogāms tvam istān rājyaphalāni ca, jīvitam ca hi rājyam ca tvadartham abhikāmaye/ Dear Lakshmana! You too must join me in the administration as you are my 'alter ego' or my secondary conscience and this Rajya Lakshmi or the Empress of the Kingdom belongs

to you too. The fruits of Kingship are to be indeed shared by both of us. So pronouncing, Shri Rama left the chamber of Devi Kousalya along with Devi Sita with his mother's permission.

Sarga Five

Dasharatha and Vasishtha ask Rama and Sita to observe fasting before the celebrations of Yuvarajatva

Samdiśya rāmam nrpatih śvobhāviny abhisecane, purohitam samāhūya vasistham idam abravīt/ gacchopavāsam kākutstham kārayādya tapodhana, śrīyaśorājyalābhāya vadhvā saha yatavratam/ tatheti ca sa rājānam uktvā vedavidām varah, svayam vasistho bhagavān vayau rāmaniveśanam/ rāmabhavanam prāpya pāṇḍurābhraghanaprabham, tisrah kakṣyā rathenaiva viveśa munisattamah/ tam āgatam rṣim rāmas tvarann iva sasambhramah, mānayisyan sa mānārham niścakrāma niveśanāt/ abhyetya tyaramānas ca rathābhyāsam manīsinah, tato 'vatārayām āsa parigrhya rathāt syayam' sa cainam praśritam drstvā sambhāsyābhiprasādya ca, priyārham harşayan rāmam ity uvāca purohitaļ/ prasannas te pitā rāma yauvarājyam avāpsyasi, upavāsam bhavān adya karotu saha sītayā/ prātas tvām abhişektā hi yauvarājye narādhipaḥ, pitā daśarathaḥ prītyā yayātim nahuṣo yathā/ ity uktvā sa tadā rāmam upavāsam yatavratam, mantravat kārayām āsa vaidehyā sahitam munih/ tato yathāvad rāmena sa rājño gurur arcitah, abhyanujñāpya kākutstham yayau rāmaniyeśanāt/ suhrdbhis tatra rāmo 'pi tān anujñāpya sarvaśah, sabhājito viveśātha tān anujñāpya sarvaśah/ hrstanārī narayutam rāmaveśma tadā babhau, yathā mattadvijaganam praphullanalinam sarah/ sa rājabhavanaprakhyāt tasmād rāmaniveśanāt, nirgatya dadrśe mārgam vasiṣṭho janasamvrtam/ vṛndavṛndair ayodhyāyām rājamārgāḥ samantataḥ, babhūvur abhisambādhāḥ kutūhalajanair vṛtāḥ/ janavṛndormisamgharṣaharṣasvanavatas tadā, babhūva rājamārgasya sāgarasyeva nisvanah/ siktasammrstarathyā hi tad ahar vanamālinī, āsīd ayodhyā nagarī samucchritagrhadhvajā/ tadā hy ayodhyā nilayah sastrībālābalo janah, rāmābhisekam ākānksann ākānksann udayam raveh/ prajālamkārabhūtam ca janasyānandavardhanam, utsuko 'bhūj jano drastum tam ayodhyā mahotsavam/ evam tam janasambādham rājamārgam purohitah, vyūhann iva janaugham tam śanai rāja kulam yayau/ sitābhraśikharaprakhyam prāsadam adhiruhya saḥ, samiyāva narendrena śakreneva brhaspatih/ tam āgatam abhipreksva hitvā rājāsanam nrpah, papraccha sa ca tasmai tat krtam itv abhvavedavat/ gurunā tv abhvanujñāto manujaugham visrjva tam, viveśāntaḥpuram rājā simho giriguhām iva/ tad agryaveṣapramadājanākulam; mahendraveśmapratimam niveśanam, vyadīpayams cāru vivesa pārthivah; sasīva tārāganasamkulam nabhah

As Shri Rama's Yuva Raja Pattabhisheka was scheduled on the following day, King Dasharatha requested Vasishtha Maharshi to let Rama perform 'Kalyana Siddhi Vighna Naashaka Upavasa Vrata'. Then Vasishtha along with veda panditas proceeded to Shri Rama Mandira. Shri Rama with great devotion and courtesy received the Maharshi along with the group of Panditas. Vasishtha addressed Rama to emphasise that King Dasharatha was extremely fond of the famed son and had therefore decided to arrange for Rama anad Devi Sita to observe 'upavasa' with seriousness. *Prātas tvām abhiṣektā hi yauvarājye narādhipaḥ, pitā daśarathaḥ prītyā yayātim nahuṣo yathā/ ity uktvā sa tadā rāmam upavāsam yatavratam, mantravat kārayām āsa vaidehyā sahitam muniḥ/ tato yathāvad rāmeṇa sa rājño gurur arcitaḥ, abhyanujñāpya kākutstham yayau rāmaniveśanāt/* Raghu nandana!Your father's serious desire is to let the vrata be performed impeccably in a manner that King Nahusha performed his son Yayati's Rajyabhisheka on the folowing morning. As the formal Puja was thus performed, Vasishtha and Panditas blessed Rama and Sita with most endearing compliments and left.

[Vishleshana on Kings Nahusha and Yayati:

<u>Nahusha</u> who was in the lineage of Pururava and had the distinction of peforming ninety nine Ashwamedha Yagnas and was nearly qualified to become Indra who should have executed hundred Yagnas. Meanwhile there was a temoporary vacancy of Indratwa since Indra fled away since he killed Vritrasura with the help of the Vajrayudha made out of Sage Dadhichis's backbone; Vritrasura who was a Brahmana by birth and Brahma Hatya Sin chased Indra. Brahma thus appointed Nahusha as temporary Indra. Nahusha who was originally a King of Great Virtue bacame arrogant and powermongering as he became Indra and claimed all the privileges belonging to Indra like Vajrayudha, Irayata and even Indra's wife Sachi Devi. Yayati, the son of Nahusha was a famed Emperor who defeated all the Kings of the World and married Devayani the daughter of Asura Guru Shukracharya, besides Sharmishtha the daughter of Vishvaparya, a Rakshasa King. Indra was pleased to gift Yayati a Divine Chariot with seven powerful horses with which he traversed the world and divided his Empire into seven divisions to distribute it among five of his sons. A Maharshi gave a boon that if any of his sons could agree to exchange their youth to his old age then he could secure a fresh lease of youth. His eldest son Yadu from Devayani refused and so did others excepting Sharmishtha's son Puru who readily agreed. Yayati took over Puru's youth and enabled him travel around to unravel earthly pleasures for long. But finally returned discovering that the ephemeral joys of the world were endless like Agni in a Homa kunda assuming larger and larger proportions as long as ghee is served and no human would be satisfied with food, gold, ornaments or women. By so realising, he returned his youth to Puru and took to Vanaprastha or retirement.]

As Rama and Sita returned to their palace, there were highly excited crowds of men and women with rapturous joy; in fact, all the streets, gardens, temples and market places of the city of Ayodhya were jam packed with overflowing crowds of unimaginable exhilaration and thrill. All the houses were decorated with tall and flying flags and decorations with an all pervading festive atmosphere of jubilation and unending excitement like the roaring sounds of ocean waves. Men, women and children, be they rich or otherwise were awake all through the dusk and night awaiting the hours of dawn. Ayodhya's greatest festival was thus most sought after as the citizens were in a state of frenzy and unprecedented anticipation. Even as the first rays of Surya Deva became visible on the horizon, Maharshi Vasishtha arrived at the Palace of King Dasharatha and both met as though Deva Guru Brihaspati and Lord Mahendra had. As the King stood up from his glittering and bejewelled throne, he smilingly uttered to the Maharshi: is everything ready! And the Maharshi responded with suppressed glee: 'Yes!' Then like a Lion the King entering its massive den entered his Interior Hall while the steps were laced up with beautifully dressed up girls of mini-smiles like Apsaras were lined up on the steps of Indra Sabha!

Sarga Six

Ayodhya's public's joy and pre-celebrations

Gate purohite rāmaḥ snāto niyatamānasaḥ, saha patnyā viśālākṣyā nārāyaṇam upāgamat/ pragṛhya śirasā pātrīm haviṣo vidhivat tadā, mahate daivatāyājyam juhāva jvalite 'nale/ śeṣam ca haviṣas tasya prāśyāśāsyātmanaḥ priyam, dhyāyan nārāyaṇam devam svāstīrṇe kuśasamstare/ vāgyataḥ saha vaidehyā bhūtvā niyatamānasaḥ, śrīmaty āyatane viṣṇoḥ śiśye naravarātmajaḥ/ ekayāmāvaśiṣṭāyām rātryām prativibudhya saḥ, alamkāravidhim kṛtsnam kārayām āsa veśmanaḥ/ tatra śṛṇvan sukhā vācaḥ sūtamāgadhabandinām, pūrvām samdhyām upāsīno jajāpa yatamānasaḥ/ tuṣṭāva praṇataś caiva śirasā madhusūdanam, vimalakṣaumasamvīto vācayām āsa ca dvijān/ teṣām puṇyāhaghoṣo 'tha gambhīramadhuras tadā, ayodhyām pūrayām āsa tūryaghoṣānunāditaḥ/ kṛtopavāsam tu tadā vaidehyā saha rāghavam, ayodhyā nilayaḥ śrutvā sarvaḥ pramudito janaḥ/ tataḥ paurajanaḥ sarvaḥ śrutvā rāmābhiṣecanam, prabhātām rajanīm dṛṣṭvā cakre śobhām parām punaḥ/ sitābhraśikharābheṣu devatāyataneṣu ca, catuṣpatheṣu rathyāsu caityeṣv aṭṭālakeṣu ca/ nānāpaṇyasamṛddheṣu vaṇijām āpaṇeṣu ca, kuṭumbinām samṛddheṣu śrīmatsu bhavaneṣu ca/ sabhāsu caiva sarvāsu vṛkṣeṣv ālakṣiteṣu ca, dhvajāḥ samucchritāś citrāḥ patākāś cābhavams tadā/ naṭanartakasamghānām gāyakānām ca gāyatām, manaḥkarṇasukhā vācaḥ śuśruvuś ca tatas tataḥ/ rāmābhiṣekayuktāś ca kathāś cakrur mitho janāh, rāmābhiseke samprāpte catvaresu grhesu ca/ bālā api krīdamānā grhadvāresu saṃghaśaḥ,

rāmābhiṣekasamyuktāś cakrur eva mithaḥ kathāḥ/ krtapuṣpopahāraś ca dhūpagandhādhivāsitaḥ, rājamārgaḥ krtaḥ śrīmān paurai rāmābhiṣecane/ prakāśīkaraṇārtham ca niśāgamanaśaṅkayā, dīpavrkṣāms tathā cakrur anu rathyāsu sarvaśaḥ/ alamkāram purasyaivam krtvā tat puravāsinaḥ, ākāṅkṣamāṇā rāmasya yauvarājyābhiṣecanam/ sametya samghaśaḥ sarve catvareṣu sabhāsu ca, kathayanto mithas tatra praśaśamsur janādhipam/ aho mahātmā rājāyam ikṣvākukulanandanaḥ, jñātvā yo vrddham ātmānam rāmam rājye 'hbiṣekṣyati/ sarve hy anugrhītāḥ sma yan no rāmo mahīpatiḥ, cirāya bhavitā goptā drṣṭalokaparāvaraḥ/ anuddhatamanā vidvān dharmātmā bhrātrvatsalaḥ, yathā ca bhrātrṣu snigdhas tathāsmāsv api rāghavaḥ// ciram jīvatu dharmātmā rājā daśaratho 'naghaḥ, yatprasādenā - bhiṣiktam rāmam drakṣyāmahe vayam/ evamvidham kathayatām paurāṇām śuśruvus tadā, digbhyo 'pi śrutavrttāntāḥ prāptā jānapadā janāḥ/ te tu digbhyaḥ purīm prāptā draṣṭum rāmābhiṣecanam, rāmasya pūrayām āsuḥ purīm jānapadā janāḥ/ janaughais tair visarpadbhiḥ śuśruve tatra nisvanaḥ, parvasūdīrṇavegasya sāgarasyeva nisvanaḥ/ tatas tad indrakṣayasamnibham puram; didrkṣubhir jānapadair upāgataiḥ, samantataḥ sasvanam ākulam babhau; samudrayādobhir ivārṇavodakam/

Shri Rama had then taken bath and along with 'sahadharma chaarini' initiated 'Shri Ranganadha Puja'. He kept the 'havishya patra' or the vessel of offering cooked rice on his head and with bent head and offered the same to 'Homaagni' to appease Sheshashaayi Narayana dutifully. [Padma Purana explains that this Idol of Sheshashaayi Ranganadha was worshipped by generations of Kings in Ayodhya and after the killing of Ravanasura when finally Shri Rama Pattabhisheka was celebrated, Rama gifted this idol to Vibheeshana and that very idol subsequently travelled to Shri Ranganadha Kshetra] Shesam ca havisas tasya prāśyāśāsyātmanaḥ priyam, dhyāyan nārāyaṇam devam svāstīrne kuśasamstare/ vāgyataḥ saha vaidehyā bhūtvā niyatamānasah, śrīmaty āyatane visnoh śiśye naravarātmajah/ The remainder of the 'havishanna' offered to Agni thus, Rama and Sita ate the 'praasada' and with observing complete silence and self control slept off in the Mandira on a mat with prayers to Maha Vishnu. Past three 'yaamas' of the night, the fourth part of the night got up from the mat and instructed the servants to initiate the decoration of the 'Sabha Mandapa'. On hearing the auspicious music of the soft instruments, Shri Rama then took his bath and performed 'Sandhya Vandana' Gayatri with extreme concentration. Thereafter he donned a shining dress and prayed to 'Madhusudana' while select groups of 'Brahmanottamas' initiated 'swasti vaachanaas'. The 'punyahyachana ghosha' of the raised resonance then got resounded whereafter the sounds of innumerable 'vaadyas' got reverberated the length and breadth of Ayodhya. The distant citizens of Ayodhya had thus come to realise that the celebrations of 'Sita Rama Upavaasa Vrata' had got initiated. Then the sky high lofty tower tops of temples, city squares, lanes and byelanes, tall tree tops, market places, individual shops and establishments, were all profusely decorated with flags in typically competitive spirit of exhibitions. Groups of street dancers, musical instrumentalits ranging from flutes to high sounded drums, exclusive singers of excellence to group singings were attracting the ready attractions of various audiences. All the individual houses were in competitive spirit in decorating their own houses, doors, windows with flags and multi-colour combinations. Fresh flowers, natural and artificial fragrances and odours readily ushered in celestial atmosphere all over. Detailed discussions among boys and girls, youth and elderly, men and women, the learned and the ignorant, the haves and have-nots, in groups or mutual had the singular topic of the 'Patthabhisheka' only. Most of the citizens of Ayodhya having anticipated the night fall ahead had made elaborate arrangements of lighting the streets, roads, market places, temples, tree tops, and individual houses. There were extensive discussions in the street corners, market places, temples and gatherings about the magnificence and munificence of the King Dasharatha who had decided to name the successor who too was the real chip off the old timber of the outstanding Ikshvaaku Vamsha! The excerpts of the conversations of the public were as follows: Aho

mahātmā rājāyam ikṣvākukulanandanaḥ, jñātvā yo vṛddham ātmānam rāmam rājye 'hbiṣekṣyati' sarve hy anugṛhītāḥ sma yan no rāmo mahīpatiḥ, cirāya bhavitā goptā dṛṣṭalokaparāvaraḥ/ anuddhatamanā vidvān dharmātmā bhrātṛvatsalaḥ, yathā ca bhrātṛṣu snigdhas tathāsmāsv api rāghavaḥ// ciram jīvatu dharmātmā rājā daśaratho 'naghaḥ, yatprasādenā -bhiṣiktam rāmam drakṣyāmahe vayam/ 'Aha! The great and popular most King Dasharatha had finally decided to retire after long innings of his gloried life in favor of an equally notable son of proven worth of bravery, virtue and assured safety and welfare to us all. Surely, Rama ought to shine as a person of integrity and wellbeing to us all most certainly. He had proven himself as a calm, composed, knowledgeable, practical, personality who would surely look after us as with his own brothers!' Tatas tad indrakṣayasamnibham puram; didṛkṣubhir jānapadair upāgataiḥ, samantataḥ sasvanam ākulam babhau; samudrayādobhir ivārṇavodakam/Thus to have the unique opportunity of witnessing Ramaabhisheka would be comparable to what 'Indraabhisheka' to attend to which might be comparable to Maha Sagara's various species like gigantic whales, crocodiles, huge and small fishes!

Sarga Seven

Villianous Manthara gets upset on Rama's Yuvarajatva and reaches Kaikeya and provokes

Jňātidāsī vato jātā kaikeyvās tu sahositā, prāsādam candrasamkāśam āruroha vadrcchavā/ siktarājapathām kṛtsnām prakīrnakamalotpalām, ayodhyām mantharā tasmāt prāsādād anvavaiksata/ patākābhir varārhābhir dhvajaiś ca samalamkṛtām, siktām candanatoyaiś ca śiraḥsnātajanair vṛtām/ avidūre sthitām dṛṣṭvā dhātrīm papraccha mantharā, uttamenābhisamyuktā harṣeṇārthaparā satī/ rāmamātā dhanam kim nu janebhyah samprayacchati, atimātram praharso 'yam kim janasya ca śamsa me, kārayişyati kim vāpi samprahrsto mahīpatih/ vidīryamāṇā harseṇa dhātrī paramayā mudā, ācacakṣe 'tha kubjāyai bhūyasīm rāghave śriyam/ śvah puṣyeṇa jitakrodham yauvarājyena rāghavam, rājā daśaratho rāmam abhiṣecayitānagham/ dhātryās tu vacanam śrutvā kubjā kṣipram amarṣitā, kailāsa śikharākārāt prāsādād avarohata/ sā dahyamānā kopena mantharā pāpadarśinī, śayānām etya kaikeyīm idam vacanam abravīt/ uttistha mūdhe kim sese bhayam tvām abhivartate, upaplutamahaughena kim ātmānam na budhyase/ aniste subhagākāre saubhāgyena vikatthase, calam hi tava saubhāgyam nadyah srota ivoşnage/ evam uktā tu kaikeyī ruṣṭayā paruṣaṁ vacaḥ, kubjayā pāpadarśinyā viṣādam agamat param/ kaikeyī tv abravīt kubjām kaccit kṣemam na manthare, viṣaṇṇavadanām hi tvām lakṣaye bhrśaduhkhitām/ mantharā tu vacah śrutvā kaikeyvā madhurāksaram, uvāca krodhasamyuktā vākvam vākyaviśāradā/ sā viṣaṇṇatarā bhūtvā kubjā tasyā hitaiṣiṇī, viṣādayantī provāca bhedayantī ca rāghavam/ akṣemam sumahad devi pravṛttam tvadvināśanam, rāmam daśaratho rājā yauvarājye 'bhiseksyati/ sāsmy agādhe bhaye magnā duhkhaśokasamanvitā, dahyamānānaleneva tvaddhitārtham ihāgatā/ tava duhkhena kaikeyi mama duhkham mahad bhavet, tvadvrddhau mama vrddhiś ca bhaved atra na samśayah/ narādhipakule jātā mahisī tvam mahīpateh, ugratvam rājadharmānām katham devi na budhyase/ dharmavādī śatho bhartā ślaksnavādī ca dārunah, śuddhabhāve na jānīse tenaivam atisamdhitā/ upasthitam payunjānas tvayi sāntvam anarthakam, rthenaivādya te bhartā kausalyām yojayisyati/ apavāhya sa duṣṭātmā bharatam tava bandhuṣu, kālyam sthāpayitā rāmam rājye nihatakantake/ śatruḥ patipravādena mātreva hitakāmyayā, āśīviṣa ivānkena bāle paridhṛtas tvayā/ yathā hi kuryāt sarpo vā śatrur vā pratyupeksitah, rājñā daśarathenādya saputrā tvam tathā kṛtā/ pāpenānṛtasantvena bāle nityam sukhocite, rāmam sthāpayatā rājye sānubandhā hatā hy asi/ sā prāptakālam kaikeyi kṣipram kuru hitam tava, trāyasva putram ātmānam mām ca vismayadarśane/ mantharāyā vacaḥ śrutvā śayanāt sa śubhānanā, evam ābharaṇam tasyai kubjāyai pradadau śubham/ dattvā tv ābharaṇam tasyai kubjāyai pramadottamā, kaikeyī mantharām hṛṣṭā punar evābravīd idam/ idam tu manthare mahyam ākhyāsi paramam priyam, etan me priyam ākhyātuh kim vā bhūyah karomi te/ rāme vā bharate vāham viśeṣam nopalakṣaye, tasmāt tuṣṭāsmi yad rājā rāmam rājye 'bhiṣekṣyati/ na me

param kim cid itas tvayā punaḥ; priyam priyārhe suvacam vaco varam, tathā hy avocas tvam ataḥ priyottaram; varam param te pradadāmi tam vṛṇu/

Of the three queens of King Dasharatha, Devi Kaikeyi was the youngest. She had an old servant maid named Manthara whose antecedents were mysterious; she was used to always cling to the queen. None indeed ever aware about Manthara's birth, her parentage details, place of origin and her erstwhile whatabouts. The night before the Rama Rajyabhisheka, Devi Kaikeyi was enjoying moon shine on the palace top and noticed that there was lot of commotion on the streets which were all lit up and noisy with crowds of men-women-children. There were high flying flags, agog with sounds of music and dances; shouts and loud cheers all around; temple tops were decorated with colourful flags, veda pathanas too were heard again and again, and there appeared several crowds dancing away too. Then she turned her view to the top of Rama's residing palace and found that it was distinguished with garlands of lights atop with bright flags wavering away. She felt delighted and remarked to Mandhara: Mandhara! Tell me how happy I am that Shri Rama patthabhisheka is due now tomorrow morning. Devi Kousalya must now be busy distributing gifts to select ladies as the wives of ministers, heads of army and leading persons of the society. Tell me how joyous and blissful that my dear husband be feeling right now as the most auspicious task round the corner; indeed he ought to be the most excited and busy personality ever! Kubje! Are you aware that tomorrow early morning Maha Raja Dasharatha should be performing the most auspicious deed as the pushya nakshatra would arrive when Shri Rama the most endearing, flawless, fearless and singular person of virtue and fame should be the Yuva Raja of this glorious empire! Such was the extraordinary excitement expressed by Kaikeyi. Dhātryās tu vacanam śrutvā kubjā kṣipram amarṣitā, kailāsa śikharākārāt prāsādād avarohata/ sā dahyamānā kopena mantharā pāpadarśinī, śayānām etya kaikeyīm idam vacanam abravīt/ As Kaikeyi's exciting expressions were thus heard, Mandhara's inner self was ignited so much as ghee was poured on dry wooden sticks and as though she was thrown down from the high Kailasa mountain top down with a steep fall on the ground. Kaikeyi understood Mandhara's disapproval and negative reaction. Uttistha mūdhe kim sese bhayam tvām abhivartate, upapluta mahaughena kim ātmānam na budhyase/aniṣṭe subhagākāre saubhāgyena vikatthase, calam hi tava saubhāgvam nadvah srota ivosnage/Then Mandhara shouted on Kaikevi with pent up anger! 'You foolish woman, get up from slumber to awakenness! I am shuddered of a heavy burden about to fall on you as a mountain is about to break against you and you do not realise the calamities ahead of you. Your beloved husband comes and makes you feel that he is paving to you a path of roses for you owing to your ignorance and taking advantage of your innocence and stupidity! You hardly realise the mischievous and back side motives and well planned negativities to be faced by you ahead! Just as running waters tend to thin down the flows in summer, your fortunes too would soon get dried up as the momentary opportunity on hand once lost would disappear for ever.' Kaikeyi was taken aback with the comments made by Mandhara. She reproached Mandhara for her inauspicious blabberings and shouted on her that she was not in her senses while expressings such ridiculous feelings of jealousy and uncalled for chatter of narrow mindedness. Kaikeyi further said that Mandhara had all along been a skilful thinker and talker but today she had betrayed her mischievous and harmfully hidden inner psyche. But Mandhara continued with her slow poisonous conversation and evil mindedness: Akshemam sumahad devi pravrttam tvadvināśanam, rāmam daśaratho rājā yauvarājye 'bhiseksyati/ sāsmy agādhe bhaye magnā duhkhaśokasamanvitā, dahyamānānaleneva tvaddhitārtham ihāgatā/ tava duhkhena kaikeyi mama duhkham mahad bhavet, tvadvrddhau mama vrddhiś ca bhaved atra na samśayah Devi! the terminal point of your welfare is about to be reached and misfortune could never be reversed. Tomorrow King Dasharatha is poised to make Rama the Yuva Raja. Having realised this, I am totally depressed and disgusted with this development and am drowned in fathomless and fearful ocean of sorrow and hence have arrived in hurry to prevent this catastrophe and thwart the mischief being played on you. When you are about to face a calamity, I too would have to drown into it and have thus made a timely intervention possible. Devi! You were born and brought up in a royal family and absorbed queenly features but how are you ignoring the true characteristics and upbringing of a queen! Dharmavādī śaṭho bhartā ślakṣṇavādī ca dārunah, śuddhabhāve na jānīse tenaivam atisamdhitā/ upasthitam pavuñjānas tvavi sāntvam

anarthakam, rthenaivādya te bhartā kausalyām yojayisyati/ apavāhya sa dustātmā bharatam tava bandhusu, kālyam sthāpayitā rāmam rājye nihatakantake/ Oh ignorant but lovable fool! Your husband looks innocent but is a schemy and calculated father with little consideration for your well being. He takes full advantage of your innocence and immaturity of mind and is openly favouring Koushalya and her everlasting benefit by making Rama as the next king. His vily mentality is such that he had very conveniently despatched Bharata to your brother's kingdom and is planning for the coronation of Rama peacefully! Shatruḥ patipravādena mātreva hitakāmyayā, āśīviṣa ivānkena bāle paridhṛtas tvayā/ yathā hi kuryāt sarpo vā śatrur vā pratyupekṣitaḥ, rājñā daśarathenādya saputrā tvam tathā kṛtā/ pāpenānṛtasantvena bāle nityam sukhocite, rāmam sthāpayatā rājye sānubandhā hatā hy asi/ Oh innocent! As a mother brings up a son with care and spontaneous affection, you too have so far treated Dasharatha likewise; [the well known adage states : Karyeshu dasi, Karaneshu manthri; Bhojeshu mata, Shayaneshu rambha; Kshamayeshu dharithri, Roopeshu lakshmi; Satkarma yukta, Kuladharma patni/ An ideal wife should be like a loyal maid for service; an inteligent adviser; a mother like with affection while feeding food; a romantic-proactive and comforting woman like a damsel in bed; a woman of beauty, charm and richness like Goddess Lakshmi Herself with dedication and humility; and above all be ever forgiving with compassion and ready understanding like Bhudevi Herself!] But unfortunately your husband Dashatratha has actually turned out to be an ingratitude enemy of yours! This is like a situation of an innocent and well meaning person takes a vicious serpent on the lap and similarly you have invited your husband into bed but he would naturally bite you poisonously with least consideration! Innocent Kaikeyi you! You do deserve everlasting fortune as a queen now and Queen Mother as long as you long you survive! Sā prāptakālam kaikeyi kṣipram kuru hitam tava, trāyasva putram ātmānam mām ca vismayadarśane/ Kaikeya Raja Kumari! You are staring at me with shock and impulsiveness this harangue of mine but now come back to your senses and straighten your action plan at least now and save yourself and your dear son from perpetual slavery all through your life!' On hearing the wake up call of Manthara, Devi Kaikeyi left her bed with sudden spurt of energy and decisiveness of thought and action as though the full moon of sparkle smashed the black clouds on the starry night. With elevated self confidence and decisiveness, Devi Kaikeya gifted away to Manthara an invaluable gift of gold and stated: 'Manthare! You have now given me unusual strength of mind and purpose of resolve as I am ever grateful to you for awakening me from indifference and ignorance! Rāme vā bharate vāham viśeṣam nopalakṣaye, tasmāt tustāsmi vad rājā rāmam rājye 'bhiseksyati/ Indeed, I find little distinction between Rama or Bhartata! Those who appreciate this fundamental identity should perform Rajyabhisheka to Bharata himself! Kaikeyi then assured a magnificent gift to Manthara soon after 'Bharataabhisheka'!

Sarga Eight

Kaikeyi defends Rama for his mobility but seeks to poison Kaikeyi's mind set sugesting Rama's Vana Vaasa and Bharata's elevation as Yuva Raja

Mantharā tv abhyasūyyainām utsrjyābharaṇam ca tat, uvācedam tato vākyam kopaduḥkhasamanvitā/
harṣam kim idam asthāne kṛtavaty asi bāliśe, śokasāgaramadhyastham ātmānam nāvabudhyase/ subhagā
khalu kausalyā yasyāḥ putro 'bhiṣekṣyate, yauvarājyena mahatā śvaḥ puṣyeṇa dvijottamaiḥ,/ prāptām
sumahatīm prītim pratītām tām hatadviṣam, upasthāsyasi kausalyām dāsīva tvam kṛtāñjaliḥ/ hṛṣṭāḥ khalu
bhaviṣyanti rāmasya paramāḥ striyaḥ, aprahṛṣṭā bhaviṣyanti snuṣās te bharatakṣaye/ tām dṛṣṭvā
paramaprītām bruvantīm mantharām tataḥ, rāmasyaiva guṇān devī kaikeyī praśaśamsa ha/ dharmajño
gurubhir dāntaḥ kṛtajñaḥ satyavāk śuciḥ, rāmo rājñaḥ suto jyeṣṭho yauvarājyam ato 'rhati/ bhrātṛn
bhṛtyāmś ca dīrghāyuḥ pitṛvat pālayiṣyati, samtapyase katham kubje śrutvā rāmābhiṣecanam/ bharataś
cāpi rāmasya dhruvam varsaśatāt param, pitṛpaitāmaham rājyam avāpsyati nararsabhah/ sā tvam

abhyudaye prāpte vartamāne ca manthare, bhavisyati ca kalyāne kimartham paritapyase, kausalyāto tiriktam ca sa tu śuśrūsate hi mām/ kaikeyyā vacanam śrutyā mantharā bhrśaduhkhitā, dīrgham usnam' vinihśvasya kaikeyīm idam abravīt/ anarthadarśinī maurkhyān nātmānam avabudhyase, śokavyasana vistīrņe majjantī duḥkhasāgare/ bhavitā rāghavo rājā rāghavasya ca yaḥ sutaḥ, rājavamśāt tu bharataḥ kaikevi parihāsvate/ na hi rājñah sutāh sarve rājye tisthanti bhāmini, sthāpyamānesu sarvesu sumahān anayo bhavet/ tasmāj jyesthe hi kaikeyi rājyatantrāni pārthivāh, sthāpayanty anavadyāngi guṇavatsv itareşv api/ asāv atyantanirbhagnas tava putro bhavişyati, anāthavat sukhebhyaś ca rājavaṁśāc ca vatsale/ sāham tvadarthe samprāptā tvam tu mām nāvabudhvase, sapatnivrddhau vā me tvam pradevam dātum icchasi/dhruvam tu bharatam rāmah prāpya rājyam akantakam, deśāntaram nāyayitvā lokāntaram athāpi vā/ bāla eva hi mātulyam bharato nāyitas tvayā, samnikarsāc ca sauhārdam jāyate sthāvaresv api/goptā hi rāmam saumitrir laksmanam cāpi rāghavah, aśvinor iva saubhrātram tayor lokesu viśrutam/ tasmān na laksmane rāmah pāpam kim cit karisyati, rāmas tu bharate pāpam kuryād iti na samśayaḥ/ tasmād rājagṛhād eva vanam gacchatu te sutaḥ,etad dhi rocate mahyam bhṛśam cāpi hitam tava/ evam te jñātipakṣasya śreyaś caiva bhaviṣyati, yadi ced bharato dharmāt pitryam rājyam avāpsyati/ sa te sukhocito bālo rāmasva sahajo ripuh,samrdhārthasva nastārtho jīvisvati katham vaše/ abhidrutam ivāraņye simhena gajayūthapam, pracchādyamānam rāmeņa bharatam trātum arhasi/darpān nirākṛtā pūrvam tvayā saubhāgyavattayā, rāmamātā sapatnī te katham vairam na yātayet/ yadā hi rāmaḥ pṛthivīm avāpsvati; dhruvam pranasto bharato bhavisvati, ato hi samcintava rājyam ātmaje; parasva cādvaiva vivāsa kāranam/

Instead of gratefully accepting the golden gift that Devi Kaikeyi given to her, Manthara threw it away with extreme anger and broke into tears and exclaimed: Aho! How naïve and childlike immature are you, Kaikeyi! Instead of open anguish and furious rage, your are placid as if nothing untoward had happened. Don't you realise that you are in a deep ditch and mess right now and on a high point of a volcanic rupture! I am indeed aghast at your stupidity! Arreh! Sapatni putrasya vriddhhim mrityorivaagatam/ The son of a co wife is like 'saakshaat mrityu' or the open death itself! Don't you realise that both Rama and Bharata have the same and equal authority and that precisely why Rama is afraid of Bharata. This is why I am always sunk deep in sorrow and hence the plan of Rama to let Bharata to be out of this scenario now. Like Lakshmana is a follower of Rama, so is Shatrughna a true follower of Bharata. Bhamini! Therefore both Rama and Bharata have equal right over the kingship and that precisely how Rama cunningly planned everything accordingly. My deep fright and confirmed suspicion is that Rama being a clever 'pandita' of shastras, political acumen, and timely dutifulness to the King and Ministers had earned reputation and sidelined Bharata and thus worked himself towards the final objective of 'Yuvarajatva' by totally sidelining Bharata! Now once Rama upgrades himself as the prospective King, you will be totally subservient to Kousalya with folded hands for ever! However in the event of Bharata becomes the king, even the young and pretty lasses in the 'antahpura' or the innermost chamber of Sita Devi would cry away, let alone Devi Sita! Having heard all whatever Manthara sought to poison her mind, Kaikeyi still argued with Manthara: Dharmajño gurubhir dāntah krtajñah satvavāk śucih, rāmo rājñah suto įvestho yauvarājyam ato 'rhati/ bhrātīn bhrtyām's ca dīrghāyuḥ pitrvat pālayişyati, samtapyase katham kubje śrutvā rāmābhiṣecanam/ bharataś cāpi rāmasya dhruvam varṣaśatāt param, pitṛpaitāmaham rājyam avāpsyati nararsabhah/Kubje! Shri Rama is a dharmajnata, gunayaan, jitendrtiya, even grateful, and ever truthful as the eldest son of King Dasharatha and is fully justified to become the Yuva Raja. He should indeed provide excellent administration to to the kingdom and its subjects surely. After Rama, Bharata should indeed be the the next king anyway. Mandhare! At this auspicious time, why are you getting excited with jealosy! No doubt, Bharata as my dear son would be very precious and wish him very well ahead; but on balance Rama would be dearer to me for his outstanding qualities. In fact, Rama serves me even more than even to his own mother! You should feel that if Rama secures kingship, Bharata too would have secured it as well, since Rama never made any distinction among his brothers. As Kaikeya was exhorting likewise, Manthara took long and vexatious breathing out of sheer helplessness. She stated in extreme desperation as follows: Anarthadarśinī maurkhyān nātmānam avabudhyase, śokavyasana vistīrne majjantī duhkhasāgare/ bhavitā rāghavo rājā rāghavasva ca vah sutah, rājavaṃśāt tu bharatah

kaikevi parihāsyate/ na hi rājñah sutāh sarve rājye tisthanti bhāmini, sthāpyamānesu sarvesu sumahān anayo bhavet/ tasmāj jyesthe hi kaikeyi rājyatantrāni pārthivāh, sthāpayanty anavadyāngi gunavatsv itaresv api/ Rani! Foolishly and most ignorantly, you keep on explaining to me by wheels within wheels as 'charvita charvanam', but never realise the impending reality. You are not still not realising the catastrophic ocean is facing you despite my repeated warnings. As soon as Rama secures the kingship, his sons would be authorised to claim it, but never ever Rama's brother! How foolish and ignorant are you that Bharata could ever claim the kingship! Eventually, Bharata would be eliminated from the lineage of Kingship.Bhamini Kaikevi! This is my final warning not to slip the situation out of hands for ever! As per the established law of kingship, the eldest son should secure the subsequent kingship and only if the elder son proves his inability for any reason of, say, bad character or inability to administer, then only the second in the line would become eligible! Sāham tvadarthe samprāptā tvam tu mām nāvabudhyase, sapatnivṛddhau yā me tvam pradeyam dātum icchasi/ dhruvam tu bharatam rāmah prāpya rājyam akantakam, deśāntaram nāyayitvā lokāntaram athāpi vā/This indeed the reason why, stated Manthara that she had made the timely arrival to warn and bringforth the rules of kingship and the established concept of the lineage of kingship! She made a final warning that in the event of Rama securing the kingship, the latter would eventually banish Bharata on one excuse or another from the kingdom or even to 'paraloka'! Bāla eva hi mātulyam bharato nāyitas tvayā, samnikarṣāc ca sauhārdam jāyate sthāvareṣv api/ Even at this stage, did not Rama create convenient and innocuous situations to pack off Bhatata Shatrugnas to his maternal uncle's kingdom as an excellent precautionary measure! This kind of mental framework is normally experienced and expected even in one's childhood; after all would not a 'lata' or a plant climber and the tree embracing each other not betray similar features and qualities! If Bharat were to be here, he could have made a justified claim on one half of the Kingdom! Bharat was quietly packed off along with Shatrughna as though it would look like a normal pair like Rama and Lakshmana! Tasmād rājagrhād eva vanam gacchatu te sutah etad dhi rocate mahyam bhṛśam cāpi hitam tava/ evam te jñātipaksasya śreyaś caiva bhavisyati, yadi ced bharato dharmāt pitryam rājyam avāpsyati/ sa te sukhocito bālo rāmasya sahajo ripuh, samṛdhārthasya nastārtho jīvisyati katham vaśe/Hence the golden advice to you Kaikeyi! is that instead of proceeding further from the Raja Bhavan for the Raiyaabhseka, let Rama proceed for 'aranya yaasa'! This is the single and inevitable way to exit from the ongoing mess. Mind you, being the co queen's son, Rama be always and forever deemed as your hardest and <u>natural enemy</u>! How indeed could Bharata the most innocent be subservient to Rama all through his life! Therefore, save him from this impending danger and risk of his well being and his very life itself! This situation is similat to a lion occupying a forest and a deer like Bharata being chased until death; so save him. As Rama would keep on occupying oceans and mountains and earn worldwide glory, so then would Bharata become smaller and smaller in his stature to finally become a non entity, even if he could survive, if at all! Yadā hi rāmah pṛthivīm avāpsyati; dhruvam pranasto bharato bhavisyati, ato hi samcintaya rājyam ātmaje; parasya cādyaiva vivāsa kāraņam/ Beware and watch out finally as an ultimatum, let not Rama become bigger and bigger while Bharata be insignificant and miniscule increasingly by the days; before this golden opportunity is lost for ever and ever, make sure that Rama be packed off for vana vaasa right now..

Sarga Nine

Fully poisoned by Mandhara, Kaikeyi enters 'Kopa griha' - the symbolic Anger Chamber

Evam uktā tu kaikeyī krodhena įvalitānanā, dīrgham uṣṇam viniḥśvasya mantharām idam abravīt/ adya rāmam itaḥ kṣipram vanam prasthāpayāmy aham, yauvarājyena bharatam kṣipram evābhiṣecaye/ idam tv idānīm sampaśya kenopāyena manthare, bharataḥ prāpnuyād rājyam na tu rāmaḥ katham cana/ evam uktā tayā devyā mantharā pāpadarśinī, rāmārtham upahimsantī kaikeyīm idam abravīt/ hantedānīm pravakṣyāmi kaikeyi śrūyatām ca me, yathā te bharato rājyam putraḥ prāpsyati kevalam/ śrutvaivam vacanam tasyā mantharāyās tu kaikayī, kim cid utthāya śayanāt svāstīrṇād idam abravīt/ kathaya tvam mamopāyam kenopāyena manthare, bharatah prāpnuyād rājyam na tu rāmah katham cana/ evam uktā

tayā devyā mantharā pāpadarśinī, rāmārtham upahimsantī kubjā vacanam abravīt/ tava devāsure yuddhe saha rājarsibhih patih, agacchat tvām upādāya devarājasya sāhyakrt/ diśam āsthāya kaikeyi dakşinām dandakān prati, vaijayantam iti khyātam puram yatra timidhvajah/ sa śambara iti khyātah śatamāyo mahāsuraḥ, dadau śakrasya samgrāmam devasamghair anirjitah/ tasmin mahati samgrāme rājā daśarathas tadā, apavāhya tyayā devi samgrāmān nastacetanah/ tatrāpi viksatah śastraih patis te rakṣitas tvayā, tuṣṭena tena dattau te dvau varau śubhadarśane/ sa tvayoktaḥ patir devi yadeccheyam tadā varau, gṛhṇīyām iti tat tena tathety uktam mahātmanā, anabhijñā hy aham devi tvayaiva kathitam purā/ tau varau yāca bhartāram bharatasyābhiṣecanam, pravrājanam ca rāmasya tvam varṣāṇi caturdaśa/krodhāgāram praviśyādya kruddhevāśvapateĥ sute, śesvānantarhitāyām tvam bhūmau malinavāsinī, mā smainam pratyudīksethā mā cainam abhibhāsathāh/ dayitā tvam sadā bhartur atra me nāsti samsayah, tvatkrte ca mahārājo vised api hutāsanam/ na tvām krodhayitum sakto na kruddhām pratyudīkṣitum, tava priyārtham rājā hi prāṇān api parityajet/ na hy atikramitum śaktas tava vākyam mahīpatih, mandasvabhāve budhyasva saubhāgyabalam ātmanah/ maṇimuktāsuvarṇāni ratnāni vividhāni ca, dadyād daśaratho rājā mā sma teşu manaḥ kṛthāḥ/ yau tau devāsure yuddhe varau daśaratho 'dadāt, tau smāraya mahābhāge so 'rtho mā tyām atikramet/ yadā tu te yaram dadyāt syayam utthāpya rāghavaḥ, vyavasthāpya mahārājam tvam imam vṛṇuyā varam/ rāmam pravrājayāraṇye nava varṣāṇi pañca ca, bharataḥ kriyatām rājā pṛthivyām pārthivarṣabhaḥ/ evam pravrājitaś caiva rāmo 'rāmo bhavisyati, bharataś ca hatāmitras tava rājā bhavisyati/ yena kālena rāmaś ca vanāt pratyāgamisyati, tena kālena putras te kṛtamūlo bhavisyati, saṃgṛhītamanusyaś ca suhṛdbhih sārdham ātmavān/ prāptakālam tu te manye rājānam vītasādhvasā, rāmābhiṣekasamkalpān nigṛhya vinivartaya/ anartham artharūpeņa grāhitā sā tatas tayā, hṛṣṭā pratītā kaikeyī mantharām idam abravīt/ kubje tvām nābhijānāmi śresthām śresthābhidhāyinīm, pṛthivyām asi kubjānām uttamā buddhiniścaye/ tvam eva tu mamārtheşu nityayuktā hitaişiņī, nāham samavabudhyeyam kubje rājñaś cikīrşitam/ santi duḥsamsthitāḥ kubjā vakrāh paramapāpikāh, tvam padmam iva vātena samnatā priyadarsanā/ uras te 'bhinivistam vai vāvat skandhāt samunnatam, adhastāc codaram śāntam sunābham iva lajjitam/ jaghanam tava nirghustam raśanādāmaśobhitam, janghe bhrśam upanyaste pādau cāpy āyatāv ubhau/ tvam āyatābhyām sakthibhyām manthare kṣaumavāsini, agrato mama gacchantī rājahamsīva rājase/ tavedam sthagu yad dīrgham rathaghonam ivāvatam, matavah ksatravidvāś ca māvāś cātra vasanti te/ atra te pratimokṣyāmi mālām kubje hiraṇmayīm, abhiṣikte ca bharate rāghave ca vanam gate/ jātyena ca suvarņena sunistaptena sundari, labdhārthā ca pratītā ca lepayişyāmi te sthagu/ mukhe ca tilakam citram jātarūpamayam śubham, kārayisyāmi te kubje śubhāny ābharanāni ca/ paridhāya śubhe vastre devadeva carisyasi, candram āhvayamānena mukhenāpratimānanā, gamisyasi gatim mukhyām garvayantī dvisajjanam/ tavāpi kubjāh kubjāyāh sarvābharanabhūsitāh, pādau paricarisyanti yathaiva tvam sadā mama/ iti praśasyamānā sā kaikeyīm idam abravīt, śayānām śayane śubhre vedyām agniśikhām iva/ gatodake setubandho na kalyāṇi vidhīyate, uttistha kuru kalyāṇam rājānam anudarśaya/ tathā protsāhitā devī gatvā mantharayā saha, krodhāgāram viśālāksī saubhāgyamadagarvitā/ anekaśatasāhasram muktāhāram varānganā, avamucya varārhāni śubhāny ābharanāni ca/ tato hemopamā tatra kubjā vākvam vasam gatā, samvisva bhūmau kaikevī mantharām idam abravīt/ iha vā mām mrtām kubje nrpāvāvedavisvasi, vanam tu rāghave prāpte bharatah prāpsvati ksitim/ athaitad uktvā vacanam sudāruņam; nidhāya sarvābharaņāni bhāminī, asamvrtām āstaraņena medinīm; tadādhiśiśye patiteva kinnarī/ udīrnasamrambhatamovrtānanā; tathāvamuktottamamālyabhūsanā, narendrapatnī vimanā babhūva sā; tamovṛtā dyaur iva magnatārakā/

As thus Manthara gradually ignited her inner feelings, Kaikeyi started breathing heavily and agitated. She said with firmness: Adya rāmam itaḥ kṣipram vanam prasthāpayāmy aham, yauvarājyena bharatam kṣipram evābhiṣecaye/ Kubje! I will soon despatch Rama to the forests and arrange for Bharata to secure the Kingdom. But, how this ambition to be materialised! Manthara replied in low voice secretively: if only you really do not mind my saying so, listen to me carefully: do recall that in the remote past, when your husband in his youthful days and when you were perhaps just married, you accompanied him by his

royal chariot to attack an 'asura' named Shambara living in 'dandakaranya' far beyond the popular city named Vijayanta. Shambara was so cruel that villagers, cattle, and domestic beings were being killed mercilessly that he was a perpetual threat to them even in Dasharatha's far precincts of his kingdom. Shambara used a chariot flag with a huge whale insignia and was a notorious 'maayaavi' of endless make beliefs who was the ill fame of even attacking Indra who himself was vexed attacking him several times. In the successive battles with the previous kings nearby, he was in the habit of eating off the hurt and wounded soldiers of those kings lying by the nights. In fact King Dasharatha too made several attempts to attack the Asura but out of frustration used to retreat several times. Dasharatha utilised all his skills of archery with 'mantrik' support but had to return without success. Having been equipped with new military and mantric skills, he returned back with unusual confidence of mantrik power, Dasharatha attacked the Asura when the newly wedded Kaikeyi assumed the role of a secondary chariotee, sitting pretty next to Dasharatha. The Mayayi Shambara proved not much of an opponent to the well toned up mantras of the skills of Dasharatha but made an all out attack which an unwary Dasharatha slipped up momentarily. It was at that split second, Kaikeyi as the copilot saved Dasharatha when he got swooned momentariry and saved the King who once again attacked the Asura with the newly acquired mantric skills and succeeded in finally exterminating him even as the co-rakshasas tried to run back but were all killed away. That was how, King Dasharatha was pleased and in fact saved his life by Kaikeyi. tatrāpi viksatah śastraih patis te raksitas tvayā, tustena tena dattau te dvau varau śubhadarśane/ sa tvayoktah patir devi yadeccheyam tadā varau, gṛḥṇīyām iti tat tena tathety uktam mahātmanā, anabhijñā hy aham devi tvayaiva kathitam purā/ tau varau yāca bhartāram bharatasyābhisecanam, pravrājanam ca rāmasya tvam varsāni caturdaśa/As Dasharatha was at his wit's end and was almost collapsing away, it was at that nick of time, Kaikeyi rescued and having felt extremely delighted and even grateful to her stated: Shubha darshini! I am happy and delighted to bestow two boons from me. Then Kaikeyi replied: Prana Natha! I would avail of these two boons at my covenience and the King approvingly stated: 'tathaasthu'! Manthara thus reminded of this and stated: Devi! don't you recall those two boons! I had always been reminding you but used to smile and ignore me. Now, this is indeed the most opportune time to utilise right now to receive these two boons and certainly reverse the exigency of Rama Pattabhishekha. The two boons be therefore damanded; one to perform Bharata's Rajyabhisheka and another to instruct for Rama's 'aranya yaasa' for fourteen years. Krodhāgāram praviśyādya kruddheyāśyapateh sute, śeṣvānantarhitāyām tvam bhūmau malinavāsinī, mā smainam pratyudīkṣethā mā cainam abhibhāṣathāḥ/ Mandhara then advised Kaikeyi to change to an ugly and uncouth dress with anger and short temper and enter the distinct 'chamber of extreme anger' in her residence with disheveled hair with a grumpy manner, readily noticeable by the servant maids and security personnel. Then she might lie down on a mat on earth. As the word would get spread like lightning, the King would become aware and on his arrival, she should neither open her eyes nor utter one word even. The King could never ever see you upset and angry in that manner as he is most affectionate with you. He could never see you angry, much less tolerate you in this condition. He could never in his life sideline your wish. Therefore may your fortune and hope be sustained and fortified. He might offer you innumerable material enticements in exchange but never yield to them. Remind him of the boons that he gave you at the time of the battle with the asura and the boons bestowed to to you then and the demand of yours now: yadā tu te varam dadyāt svayam utthāpya rāghavaḥ, vyavasthāpya mahārājam tvam imam vṛṇuyā varam/ rāmam pravrājayāraṇye nava varṣāṇi pañca ca, bharatah kriyatām rājā pṛthivyām pārthivarṣabhah/ In the event of Dasharatha of getting haughty and fiery when you ask him of the two boons, then you might remind him cooly about his 'dharma pramaana vachana' or the oath of his conscience and truthfulness. Then you should affirm to him

with firmness and decisiveness: Rāmam pravrājayāranye nava varsāni pañca ca, bharatah kriyatām rājā prthivyām pārthivarşabhah/ When you are asking for the two 'varaas', say it sternly and firmly: 'Send Rama to a far off forest for fourteen jungle life and let Bharata be made the King'. Kaikeyi! once Rama goes off for forest life far away for fourten years, then Bharata should be well established and the Public too would get used to Bharata and the memory of Rama would be wiped out by that time. Devi! you must most certainly seek the boon of Rama's 'vana vaasa' then your dear son's life ambition of becoming a King would come true! Within that time frame, Rama too would lose his sheen and Bharata would be rid of opposing forces. More over Bharat's sons would come of age and maturity. They too would increasingly have the desire for acquiring military skills and by the passage of time, the roots of hopes for kingship would get stronger by the day and 'Ramaabhisheka' would become a mirage in public eye. As Manthara concluded her poisonous counsellings, Kaikeyi admired her forecating skills and said that this Kubja was indeed the very best and most articulated convincer of forecastings of events. She said: Kubje! How skilfully you had interpreted the 'shadyantra' or unravelling of the masterly plan of King Dasharatha! Being slim and petty in stature with bent down back holding a stick, you do possess a typical sinster mind to fathom the evils of powerful men like a fallen flower some how withstanding the sweeps of forceful winds. While continuing to shower praises of Mandhara's slim and crooked body frame with the fathomlessnss of her evil brain power, Kaikeyi exclaimed: Asuraraja Shambara was an adept with thousand 'maayaavi' skills, but Mandhara was by birth aware far many more of them as they are replete with her 'mati-smriti-buddhi-and raaja neeti'! As Kaikeyi was not fatigued by complementing negative and anticipatory futuristics of Kubja, and declared: atra te pratimoksyāmi mālām kubje hiranmayīm, abhisikte ca bharate rāghave ca vanam gate/ jātyena ca suvarnena sunistaptena sundari, labdhārthā ca pratītā ca lepavisyāmi te sthagu/ Kubje! In the eventuality of Bharata's Rajabhisheka and Rama's 'aranya vaasa', I shall present to you a very heavy golden necklace studded with precious jewellery and invaluable and celestial silk dresses and once you are adorned with them you should be elevated to a high pedestal with bright maidens serving you with decilacies to eat and body parts to be softly massaged. As Kaikeyi was flying high on the skies of imagination, a very practical Manthara reminded Kaikeyi to transform her mood to the immediate task ahead and lie down with uncouth hair and dress soon. Kaikeyi then asserted: Aham hi naivaastaraani na srajo nachandanam naanjana paana bhojanam, na kinchidicchhaami na cheha jeevanam nachodito gacchhati Raagavo vanam/ In the event of Rama not being despatched to the far off forests, then I shall never sleep in comfort, nor wear normal dresses, nor adorn flowers, chandana, anjana, bhojana, and in such a miserable life even end up. So saying she entered a dark room on a miserable mat on the ground.

Sarga Ten

King Dasharatha seeks to pacify her beloved queen Kaikeyi

Aajñāpya tu mahārājo rāghavasyābhiṣecanam, priyārhām priyam ākhyātum viveśāntaḥpuram vaśī/ tām tatra patitām bhūmau śayānām atathocitām, pratapta iva duḥkhena so 'paśyaj jagatīpatiḥ/ sa vrddhas taruṇīm bhāryām prāṇebhyo 'pi garīyasīm, apāpaḥ pāpasamkalpām dadarśa dharaṇītale/ kareṇum iva digdhena viddhām mrgayuṇā vane, mahāgaja ivāraṇye snehāt parimamarśa tām/ parimrśya ca pāṇibhyām abhisamtrastacetanaḥ, kāmī kamalapatrākṣīm uvāca vanitām idam/ na te 'ham abhijānāmi krodham ātmani samśritam, devi kenābhiyuktāsi kena vāsi vimānitā/ yad idam mama duḥkhāya śeṣe kalyāṇi pāmsuṣu, bhūmau śeṣe kimartham tvam mayi kalyāṇa cetasi, bhūtopahatacitteva mama cittapramāthinī/ santi me kuśalā vaidyā abhituṣṭāś ca sarvaśaḥ, sukhitām tvām kariṣyanti vyādhim ācaksva bhāmini/ kasya vā te priyam kāryam kena vā vipriyam kṛtam, kah priyam labhatām adya ko vā

sumahad apriyam/ avadhyo vadhyatām ko vā vadhyaḥ ko vā vimucyatām, daridraḥ ko bhavatv āḍhyo dravyavān vāpy akimcanaḥ/ aham caiva madīyāś ca sarve tava vaśānugāḥ, na te kam cid abhiprāyam vyāhantum aham utsahe/ ātmano jīvitenāpi brūhi yan manasecchasi, yāvad āvartate cakram tāvatī me vasumdharā/ tathoktā sā samāśvastā vaktukāmā tad apriyam, paripīḍayitum bhūyo bhartāram upacakrame/

King Dasharatha being busy head over heels with multifarious responsibilities had just concluded a meeting of his minsters and close advisers took a long breath and felt that indeed, he had yet not met his queens and alert with latest reports that all the preparations were nicely falling in place. He had first entered the inreriors of Devi Kaikeyi foremost. In that palace, one would normally witness even at the entry the groups chirrups of parrots, peacocks and swans, soft and lilting sounds of music instruments, busy groups of servant maids competing each others with their dresses and ornaments, clean and elevated platforms surrounded by a variety of green and clean plants and fruit bearing trees, and full of rich varieties of eats and sweets being carried from one chamber to another and such divinely atmosphere. But Dasharatha found the surroundings inactive, dark, with deadly calmness and surprisingly lonely, quiet like a burial ground. Normally the servant maids should have announced the entry of the King himself and amid lot of fanfare, the Queen should have come out to welcom him and usher him in. He could not see her either in waiting halls, nor living rooms and not even in her bed room. Dasharatha wondered as what would have happened and remarked within himself that this was all very strange and unreal. He raised his voice in a commanding tone and shouted as to where was the 'pratihaari' or the informer woman. The latter ran forward to the King and with a covered face and bent feet mumbled: The queen ran towards the 'Kopa griha' or the corner home of anger and anguish with crestfallen face and unkempt dress and loosely hanging hair! Dasharatha paced fast along towards the dark corner room and witnessed the queen lying lonely crying away with swollen cheeks and sleepy eyes with incessant tears in her eyes often jerking up with heavy breathing on a naked mat with crumpled dress and unkempt hair. The King was old and the wife was in charming youth and always treated as of his own 'praana' the vital energy. The King was indeed flawless and Kaikeyi appeared to be decisive. He saw her as if a celestial women fell on the bare earth!The King then bent down and touched her with both of his hands and having emboldened himself with the trepidation as to what might she want touched smoothly all over her legs and feet. na te 'ham abhijānāmi krodham ātmani samśritam, devi kenābhiyuktāsi kena vāsi vimānitā/ yad idam mama duhkhāya śese kalyāni pāmsusu, bhūmau śese kimartham tvam mayi kalyāna cetasi, bhūtopahatacitteva mama cittapramāthinī/ Devi! is you anger against me! had sombody offended you! What could indeed be the mysterious cause that had pulled you down to to this ugly state.! You are a symbol of joy and ever happy personality spreading happiness around you. I could only guess that some deep affront ought to have shaken up your sensitive psyche and feelings. Please indicate whether any illness had brought you down to this stage as we have top class physicians who could be commanded at once. Devi! kindly cry not, as I am ready to impose any punishment to the offender. Aham caiva madīyāś ca sarve tava vaśānugāḥ, na te kam cid abhiprāyam vyāhantum aham utsahe/ātmano jīvitenāpi brūhi yan manasecchasi, yāvad āvartate cakram tāvatī me vasumdharā/ A person of my stature Devi! is your ready servant and even if my own life might be at stake your wish should be fulfilled, but tell me clearly what precisely is tormenting your mind!

Sarga Eleven

Kaikeyi seeks to remind of Dasharatha's promise of granting her of two boons at a battle as she saved him and demands Rama's fourteen year 'vana vaasa' and Bharata's Rajyabhisheka in return

Nāsmi viprakṛtā deva kena cin na vimānitā, abhiprāyas tu me kaś cit tam icchāmi tvayā kṛtam/ pratijām pratijānīṣva yadi tvam kartum icchasi, atha tad vyāhariṣyāmi yad abhiprārthitam mayā/ evam uktas tayā rājā priyayā strīvaśam gataḥ, tām uvāca mahātejāḥ kaikeyīm īṣadutsmitaḥ/ avalipte na jānāsi tvattaḥ priyataro mama, manujo manujavyāghrād rāmād anyo na vidyate/ bhadre hṛdayam apy etad anumṛśśyoddharasva me, etat samīkṣya kaikeyi brūhi yat sādhu manyase/ balam ātmani paśyantī na mām śankitum arhasi, kariṣyāmi tava prītim sukṛtenāpi te śape/ tena vākyena samhṛṣṭā tam abhiprāyam ātmanaḥ, vyājahāra mahāghoram abhyāgatam ivāntakam/ yathākrameṇa śapasi varam mama dadāsi ca, tac chṛṇvantu trayastrimśad devāḥ sendrapurogamāḥ/ candrādityau nabhaś caiva grahā rātryahanī diśaḥ, jagac ca pṛthivī caiva sagandharvā sarākṣasā/ niśācarāṇi bhūtāni gṛheṣu gṛhadevatāḥ, yāni cānyāni bhūtāni jānīyur bhāṣitam tava/ satyasamdho mahātejā dharmajñaḥ susamāhitaḥ, varam mama dadāty eṣa tan me śṛṇvantu devatāḥ/ iti devī maheṣvāsam parigṛhyābhiśasya ca, tataḥ param uvācedam varadam kāmamohitam/ varau yau me tvayā deva tadā dattau mahīpate, tau tāvad aham adyaiva vakṣyāmi śṛṇu me vacaḥ/ abhiṣeka samārambho rāghavasyopakalpitaḥ, anenaivābhiṣekeṇa bharato me 'bhiṣicyatām/ nava pañca ca varṣāṇi daṇḍakāraṇyam āśritaḥ, cīrājinajaṭādhārī rāmo bhavatu tāpasaḥ/ bharato bhajatām adya yauvarājyam akaṇṭakam, adya caiva hi paśyeyam prayāntam rāghavam vane/

As King Dasharatha was literally inebriated with the arrows of Kama Deva and became too impulsive with passion for his dearest life partner, Devi Kaikeyi coolly with equanimity and even coquettishly and flirtatiously replied with reciprocative affection displayed by Dasharatha: Nāsmi viprakṛtā deva kena cin na vimānitā, abhiprāyas tu me kaś cit tam icchāmi tvayā kṛtam/ pratijñām pratijānīṣva yadi tvam kartum icchasi, atha tad vyāharisyāmi yad abhiprārthitam mayā/ Deva! Neither any body has harmed me nor any body has insulted me. I have a deep desire which could be fulfilled only by your dear self! If you could fulfil that wish then you make a 'pratigina' or truthful and firm promise. The King was then got diluted from his erstwhile anxiety and anguish and then lifted her lying on earth on a misereble mat and taking her on his thighs and embrace, and said avalipte na jānāsi tvattaḥ priyataro mama, manujo manujavyāghrād rāmād anyo na vidvate/bhadre hrdayam apv etad anumrśśyoddharasya me, etat samīksva kaikevi brūhi vat sādhu manyase/ balam ātmani paśvantī na mām śankitum arhasi, karisvāmi tava prītim sukrtenāpi te śape/Devi! Kaikeyi! Very truthfully affirming that on the entire earth there is none whatsoever dearmost to me as you, excepting for Rama! I swear on Shri Rama that your desire should be fulfilled. You ought indeed be aware that without Shri Rama, I cannot be alive without seeing Shri Rama for even an hour! And on such Shri Rama now, I swear that your wish be fulfilled!Then Kaikeyi turned her mind to selfishness and concentrated her thoughts in favour of Bharath. She said: Raja! May Indra and all the Devas too hear your swearing now. Let Chandra, Surya, Aakash, Planets, Directions, Universe, Earth, Gandharva, Rakshasaas too bear witness to what the King had just sworn about. Then she stated: Maharaja! Do you recall that at the time of your battle with Shambara in dandakaranya when I accompanied you by keeping awake up day and night and at a crucial moment you were saved by me and in turn you bestowed two valuable boons to me which I stated that I would avail of them at a time of my choice. In case you are not prepared to grant those two boons now, then I would have to perform my 'praana tyaaga'. This was how the King was being ensnared cleverly from various angles. She thus said that she would now like to avail the two boons and finally expressed: Abhiseka .samārambho rāghavasyopakalpitah, anenaivābhisekena bharato me 'bhisicyatām/ nava pañca ca varṣāṇi daṇḍakāraṇyam āśritaḥ, cīrājinajaṭādhārī rāmo bhavatu tāpasaḥ/ bharato bhajatām adya yauvarājyam akantakam, adya caiva hi paśyeyam prayāntam rāghavam vane/ Deva! Prithvi natha! My first boon would be that what all preparations have been performed for Rama Pattabhishaka be turned to Bharata Pattabhisheka. The second boon should be: Nava pancha cha varshaani dandakaaranya maashritah, cheeraajinadharo dheero Ramo bhavatu taapasah, Bharato bhajataamadya youvarajya makantakam/ Eva me paramah kaamo dattameva varam vrine, adya chaivahi pashyantam Raghavam vave/ Dheera swabhava Shri Rama be donned in deer skin as a tapasvi and be despached to

dandakaaranya for fourteen years and Bhrata be blessed as the next king. These are my two boons which may be kindly granted to me by you if you please!.

Sarga Twelve

<u>Dasharatha's remorse at Kaikeyi's undue demands even having admitted the boons and pleads with Kaikeyi not to insist but in vain</u>

Tataḥ śrutvā mahārāja kaikeyyā dāruṇaṁ vacaḥ, vyathito vilavaś caiva vyāghrīm dṛṣṭvā yathā mṛgaḥ/ asaṁvṛtāyām āsīno jagatyām dīrgham ucchvasan, aho dhig iti sāmarṣo vācam uktvā narādhipaḥ, moham āpedivān bhūyaḥ śokopahatacetanaḥ/ cireṇa tu nṛpaḥ saṁjñāṁ pratilabhya suduḥkhitaḥ, kaikeyīm abravīt kruddhaḥ pradahann iva cakṣuṣā/ nṛśaṁse duṣṭacāritre kulasyāsya vināśini, kiṁ kṛtaṁ tava rāmeṇa pāpe pāpaṁ mayāpi vā/ sadā te jananī tulyāṁ vṛttiṁ vahati rāghavaḥ, tasyaiva tvam anarthāya kiṁnimittam ihodyatā/ tvaṁ mayātmavināśāya bhavanaṁ svaṁ praveśitā, avijñānān nṛpasutā vyālī tīkṣṇaviṣā yathā/ jīvaloko yadā sarvo rāmasyeha guṇastavam, aparādhaṁ kam uddiśya tyakṣyāmīṣṭam ahaṁ sutam/ kausalyāṁ vā sumitrāṁ vā tyajeyam api vā śriyam, jīvitaṁ vātmano rāmaṁ na tv eva pitṛvatsalam/parā bhavati me prītir dṛṣṭvā tanayam agrajam, apaśyatas tu me rāmaṁ naṣṭā bhavati cetanā/ tiṣṭhel loko vinā sūryaṁ sasyaṁ vā salilaṁ vinā, na tu rāmaṁ vinā dehe tiṣṭhet tu mama jīvitam/ tad alaṁ tyajyatām eṣa niścayaḥ pāpaniścaye, api te caraṇau mūrdhnā spṛśāmy eṣa prasīda me/ bhūmipālo vilapann anāthavat; striyā gṛhīto dṛhaye 'timātratā papāta devyāś caraṇau prasāritāv; ubhāv asaṁspṛśya yathāturas tathā/

As Kaikeyi conveyed her frightful statement likewise, Dasharatha was stunned and shoked to the core as momentarily lost his balance of mind. He felt that he was visioning a bad dream or was it an illusion! Her words were piercing into his ears and right into his heart. He felt that a tiger was suddenly caged became helpless. H was merely able to state: 'aho dhikkaar! what a sudden turn of evens and swooned with senselessness. After lapse of time he recovered somewhat and shouted loud with rage and feeble vulnerability: 'Oh heartless, malicious and vintictive woman! You were born to destroy and the outstanding tradition of this Kingdom. What wickedness and hatred that you have had for Shri Rama! He has had always worshipped you even more than his own mother! It looks that you had entered into this great family only like a coiled and poisoned serpent woman only to uproot and devastate it. The entire universe esteems Rama for his unimaginable qualities. I could disown Koushalya and even Sumitra, but never Rama Lakshmanas. If I do not find Rama even for a minute, I lose my mental balance. Even in the absence of Sun my universe might survive and agricultural fields might still yield crops without water but I could never survive without Rama! May I prostrate to you by falling my head at your feet, but oh! sinful female, do not very kindly be so spiteful and malicious in this manner! I am indeed prepared to let Bharat be adorned with Rajyabhisheka if that satisfies your ego and meanness! Do you ever recall that you were never tired of declaring in the public that your eldest son was Rama but not Bharata! How come your mentality had transformed mean and vicious overnight! Tasya dharmatmano Devi vane vaasam yashasvinah, katham rochase bheeru nava varshani pancha cha/Atyanta sukumaarasya tasya dharme kritaatmanah, katham rochayase vaasamaranya brhusha daarune! Devi! How could you yourself being a kind woman could suggest and feel for yourself that Rama should be despatched for jungle life for fourteen long years! Is not your heart a stone! Satyena lokaan jayati dvijan daanena Raghavah, gurucchshrushayaa veero dhanushaa yudhi shaatravaan/ Satyam daanam tapasyaago mitrataa shochamaarjavam, Vidyaa gurushushrushaa dhruvaanyetaani Ragave/ Shri Rama is a purusha simha who cleans up the hearts of every being who get readily attracted to him. Owing to his benign temper, he readily atracts the worlds, and his charitable disposition wins over dwijas, his ready service wins over the gurus, and his excellence in archery frightens his opponents. Satya-daana-tapa-tyaga-mitrata-pavitratasaralata, vidya and guru shushrusha or trutfulness, charity, meditation, affability, purity of mind and action, softness, knowledge and service to Gurus are the hallmarks of his personality! Kaikeyi! Do realise that I am aged awaiting the termination of my life and my condition is terribly miserable. Please be kind

to me!' Having heard all these entreaties by her husband, Kaikeyi replied: Raja!Having given the boons, you appear to be retracing steadfast promises and make belief lame excuses. Your 'pratiginas' or assertive declarations do not become of your stature and family background. Do you not recall that your ancestor Emporer named Shaibya intervened in the fight of an innocent pigeon and an eagle by weighing that much of meat of the pigeon and offered it from his own body! Similarly, King Alarka donated his own eyes to a blind brahmana boy and deserved higher lokas!

[Vishleshanas about Kings Shiabya and Alarka:

King Shibya, the most illustrious the son Ushinara, of Bhoja King was the husband of Parishthana the daughter of King Yayati. King Shaibya conquered the entire world single handed and performed several Ashvamedha Yagnas and was an outstanding personality of charity. He was famed to have willingly offered his own flesh by weighing the equal quantity of his own flesh but an innocent pigeon caught by weighing that much quantity of its raw meat from his own flesh. At the conclusion of this kind of charity never heard of in the past or for all times to come, the pigeon and the hawk revealed themselves as Agni Deva and Devendra who were testing the extent to which the King could reach in his disposition of charity. They blessed the king to reach swarga with his own mutilated body. Yet another instance of Shibya's earlier life was that he never hesitated to kill his own son to satisfy the demand of a brahmana of great virtue as the son committed a 'maha pataka' of stealing. Dharma Raja in the form of the Brahmana who actually tempted the boy for stealing restored the boy's life once again. Yet in another context, the Chakravarti was stated to have encountered the 'Atma' of King Yayati after the latter's death and facilitated it to restore it back to swarga!

King Alarka according to Markandeya Purana was the son of King Ritudhwaj crowned him early duu to ond age. At the time of crowning, queen Madalasa presented him a ring and said - 'O son! This ring contains a note which will teach you on how a king should administer the kingdom.' Saying this, Madalasa blessed Alarka and left the palace with her husband Ritudhwaj to spend their lives in the forest. After his accession to the throne, King Alarka ruled justly. In due course of time, he got many sons. He followed the dictates of Dharma, Arth and Kama while ruling his kingdom. Inspite of enjoying all the luxuries, Alarka still could not experience bliss and felt as if he was missing something in his life. Very soon, Subahu came to learn about the royal luxuries of his brother Alarka and got tempted to enjoy the same luxuries. To attain his objective, Subahu took the help of the king of Kashi. The king of Kashi sent an envoy to Alarka with a message to give the kingdom to Subahu, which Alarka refused. Instead, he sent a reply that the request must be made by Subahu himself. 'I will not give him my kingdom out of fear of war,' said Alarka. But Subahu did not pay heed and with the help of the king of Kashi, launched a massive attack on his kingdom and conquered it. Now Alarka's days of sorrow had begun. He then remembered the ring presented by his mother Madalasa. He opened the ring and found a letter in it. The letter said- 'When you lose your everything, give up the company of your present advisors and join the company of learned sages.' This message made Alarka to pine for the company of the learned sages. Very soon, he went to the refuge of Dattatreya and requested him to remove his miseries. Dattatreya assured him of removing his miseries at once but before doing that, he wanted to know the reasons for his miseries. Alarka said-'I do not long for pleasures but my elder brother wants to grab my kingdom.' Markandeya Purana further states: King Alarka approached Mahatma Dattatreya as a 'Sharanardhi' (refuge) and prayed to him to guide him and wipe out his distress. Dattatreya replied that the King was indeed truthful as he made a confession that he was suffering from anguish. He then asked Alarka to carry out an introspection as to who was he? What kind of grief did he suffer from? King Alarka tried to figure out the inter-relationship of the Soul and the three kinds of basic problems of humanity viz. Adhi-Bhoutika, Adhyatmika and Adhi Daivika, ie the troubles related to physical, internal and God-made categories. He reasoned that he was not a component of 'Panchabhutas'-Prithivi (Earth), 'Aapas' (Water), 'Tejas' (Fire), 'Vayu' (Wind) and 'Aakash' (Sky), but has the sensibilities related to these Entities. Even if he were not the 'Sharir' (Physique), he however had the independent feelings that led to the complexes of Inferiority or Superior

feelings. Indeed, it would be essential to discard those kinds of feelings by an enlightened Gyani. After all, when a person is aware that essentially a human body is not eternal, then why should there be the feelings of happiness or otherwise; especially when there was a realisation that these feelings were made by the mind but not the inner soul which was free from such illusive fears. Alarka thus analysed the current situation arising out of the state of his mind, since he was not the body, nor the mind, and not even his superficial consciousness. Thus analysed, the King Alarka convinced himself that there was no harm done if his elder brother Subahu desired to take over Kingship, then there was no need for resisting the idea! Also, desire and attachment propelled by ego and prestige are the root causes of happiness or grief. Mahatma Dattatreya stated: Ahami tyamkurotpanno mameti skandhavaanmahaan, Gruhakshetroccha shakhaascha putradaaraadi pallavah/Dhanadhanya maha patro naikakaala pravardhitah, Punyaapunyaagra pushpascha Sukha duhkha maaphalah ('Ahamkaar' or sense of self is the seed which produces a huge tree of 'Agyaan' or Ignorance; 'Mamatva' or selfishness is the trunk of the tree; Gruha (Abode) and Kshetra (Farm lands) are the high and large branches; wife and children are the tender leaves; 'dhana dhanya' or money and foodgrains viz. wealth are the enormous leaves; 'Punyaapunya' (Fruits of noble deeds or sins) constitute the major flowers and 'Sukha Duhkkas' or delight and misery are the end results.) How could those human beings, who are tired of 'Samsar' (Life and Family matters) and seek shelter under the 'Agyan' Tree which is rooted in the lack of correct knowledge or awareness, ever consider to attain Salvaton? Only those noble persons who possess a sharp axe named 'Vidya' (Knowledge) could pull down the mammoth tree of ignorance and egocentricity with the active help of the heavy rocks of 'Satsanga'! King Alarka expressed his gratitude to Mahatma Dattatreya that he gave him the solace in clearing his conscience about the eventually of stepping down from his throne in favour of his brother Subahu. But his doubt in his mind continued to waver and was not able to detach from natural strings. He desired to learn the art of disconnecting human psyche from Paramatma, so that there would not be a recurrence of 'Punarjanma' (Rebirth). Dattatreya replied: Yogecha shaktividusham yena shreyah param bhavet, Muktiryogaatatha yogah samyakinaa mahipathey /Sangaddoshod bhavah duhkha mamatwasakta chetasamam/ (Yogis are able to distinguish 'Gyan' from 'Agyan' and that is called 'Mukti'; manifestation of Parabrahma takes place despite the natural features of the illusory world. From Yoga emerges 'Moksha', 'Samyak Gyan' (detailed analysis) comes from Yoga, 'Duhkha' (Sorrow) springs from Gyan; 'Mamata' (Sense of Belonging) comes from 'Duhkha'. Further, Selflessness demolishes 'Mamata' and results in 'Viragya'; this is the state suitable for Yoga or configuration of the Self with the Super Force.]

Sarga Twelve continued:

Kaikeyi states Aham hi vishamadyaiva peetvaa tavaagratah, pashyante marishyaami Ramo yadya abhishicyate/ If Rama's abhisheka were performed, I will instantly take to poison. King Dasaharatha stated: Kaikeyi! Do you understand that in case Rama declines your own personal instruction of his having to leave for the forests, then too he would carry out your instruction and such is the magnanimity of Rama! But what indeed would follow be your widowhood and with none else to look for in my absence and of Rama, the treatment to be meted out to you as a tyrant is unimaginable! Kaikeyi! then be happy and greatly contented without me, Koushalya and Sumitra! Raja Kumati! It is my unimaginable misfortune that you had entered into our lives. How indeed could you ever horrible words of Bharata's rajyabhisheka and Rama's 'vana vaasa'! This gives me a repulsion on womanhood as you could be so extremely selfish, but the entirety of womanhood is distinctive but the mother of Bharata is exceptional. Here is an example of a son being drowned in miseries and a father being ready to rid of the son. Likewise the woman whom the husband is ravished about but the woman desires to kill the husband. Whenever Rama with bright clothing and masuline jewellery is visualised by me, I get restored my own days of youth. Let the universe be without Surya, let not Indra the vajradhari not bestow rains on earth, but if Rama were to be safe then my life gets fortified. Arre! Kaikevi!You are my destroyer and the worst enemy, donning the form of my death; how indeed could I got ensnared to a 'nagin', a serpent woman! As you are threatining me with death like this, how come your teeth be intact without breaking into thousand pieces! I prostrate to you in disgust and desperation, Kaikeyi! be kind to me!

Sarga Thirteen

<u>Dasharatha's intense cryings and persistent pleadings with Kaikeyi but she argued in the name of dharma citing the tradition of truthfulness of Ikshvaku ancestors</u>

Atadarham mahārājam śayānam atathocitam, yayātim iva puṇyānte devalokāt paricyutam/ anartharūpā siddhārthā abhītā bhayadarśinī, punar ākārayām āsa tam eva varam aṅganā/ tvaṁ katthase mahārāja satyavādī drdhavratah, mama cemam varam kasmād vidhārayitum icchasi/ evam uktas tu kaikeyyā rājā daśarathas tadā, pratyuvāca tatah kruddho muhūrtam vihvalann iva/ mṛte mayi gate rāme vanam manujapumgave, hantānārye mamāmitre rāmaḥ pravrājito vanam/ yadi satyam bravīmy etat tad asatyam bhavişyati, akīrtir atulā loke dhruvam paribhavas ca me/ tathā vilapatas tasya paribhramitacetasaḥ, astam abhvagamat sūrvo rajanī cābhvavartata/ sa trivāmā tathārtasva candramandalamanditā/, rājño vilapamānasya na vyabhāsata śarvarī/ tathaivoṣṇam viniḥśvasya vṛddho daśaratho nṛpaḥ, vilalāpārtavad duḥkham gaganāsaktalocanaḥ/ na prabhātam tvayecchāmi mayāyam racito 'ñjaliḥ, atha vā gamyatām sīghram nāham icchāmi nirghrnām, nrsamsām kaikeyīm drastum yatkrte vyasanam mahat/ evam uktvā tato rājā kaikeyīm samyatāñjalih, prasādayām āsa punah kaikeyīm cedam abravīt/ sādhuvrttasya dīnasya tvadgatasya gatāyuṣaḥ, prasādaḥ kriyatām devi bhadre rājño viśeṣataḥ/ śūnyena khalu suśroni mayedam samudāhrtam, kuru sādhu prasādam me bāle sahrdayā hy asi/ viśuddhabhāvasya hi duştabhāvā; tāmrekṣaṇasyāśrukalasya rājñah, śrutvā vicitram karuṇam vilāpam; bhartur nṛśamsā na cakāra vākyam/ tataḥ sa rājā punar eva mūrchitaḥ; priyām atuṣṭām pratikūla -bhāṣiṇīm, samīkṣya putrasya vivāsanam prati; ksitau visamjño nipapāta duhkhitah/

Maharaja Dasharatha the greatest hero of the times was literally down to earth crawling in the most miserable condition crestfallen at the feet of Kaikeyi! He was in the same condition as his his ancestor Chakravarti Yayati of Ikshvaku lineage who was turned down from Deva Loka after his death since the positive balance of his virtue and viciousness was of enormous negativity due to his uncouth reliance on charming but vicious womanhood.

[Visleshana on Yayati:

Yayati, the son of Nahusha and his wife Viraja, was a famed Emperor who defeated all the Kings of the World and married Devayani the daughter of Asura Guru Shukracharya, besides Sharmishtha the daughter of Vishvaparva, a Rakshasa King. Indra was pleased to gift Yayati a Divine Chariot with seven powerful horses with which he traversed the world and divided his Empire into seven divisions to distribute it among five of his sons. A Maharshi gave a boon that if any of his sons could agree to exchange their youth to his old age then he could secure a fresh lease of youth. His eldest son Yadu from Devayani refused and so did others excepting Sharmishtha's son Puru who readily agreed. Yayati took over Puru's youth and enabled him travel around to unravel earthly pleasures for long. But finally returned discovering that the ephemeral joys of the world were endless like Agni in a Homa kunda assuming larger and larger proportions as long as ghee is served and no human would be satisfied with food, gold, ornaments or women. By so realising, he returned his youth to Puru and took to Vanaprastha or retirement. That was how he slipped down from the experiences of swarga but descended down into the company of 'Saadhu Pungavas' or of Groups of Virtue and Enlightment!

Kaikeyi too in her inner consciousness was concerned that her public support and even his own son Bharata's reaction were of lurking concerns, sought to prolong the conversation with Dasharata and said: Maha Raja! you had been all the time posing to me that you had been a 'satyavaadi' and 'dhridha pratigjna'but at the opportune time seeking excuses of escapism! This jibe of Kaikeyi led Dasharatha

from the state of entreating and seeking to convince her made him suddenly flare up and shouted on her as follows: Oh, low class woman! You are my enemy! As Rama would leave for forests and I would die, then be happy forever! In the heaven too, Devas would be enquiring me of Rama's welfare and which reply could I give them! Should I answer that Rama was despatched by you to forests by threatening my life and hence could not hold myself and reached here! Or should I tell Devas that out of my infatuation for Kaikeyi I packed Rama for forest life! If I state like that then the earlier statement would be contradictory. How could indeed ask Rama the shuraveera-vidvan to get lost in the forests! How could Rama the blue lotus eyed hero with broad shouldered invincibility be punished to go suffer the forest life for no fault of his! Even with full awareness that a person who sacrifices anything for the happiness of wfellow beings be made unhappy with a wreched life for fourteen long years and rejoice myself! Oh, sinful stone hearted woman named Kaikeyi! do you realise that on entire earth, your name would be blackened with disgrace and shamefulness forever!' As Dasharatha was haughtily reprimanding Kaikeyi in disgust and desperation thus, sunset was closing in and stars on the sky commenced twinkling; he looked at the sky and addressed it: 'Raatri Deva with the starry sky! I prostrate to you not to speed up the next morning kindly with my folded hands! If you do not delay and prolong the night, then I should have to witness the deadly and sinful face of Kaikeyi in the day light! Then he addressed Kaikeyi again: 'Kalyanamayi Devi! I am the helpless, death nearing King of this Country named Dasharatha seeking your mercy! I made a public announcement about Rama's pattabhisheka early morning tomorrow; please make me not a butt of joke and of shame! Be kind to me! If you allow Rama to be the king, you should be happy for ever and ever. Maha Devi!Sumukhi! Sulochani! This proposal is doubtless rejocing merriment to me, to Rama, to the public, to acharyas, and even to Bharata; as such let this be fulfilled!

Sarga Fourteen

<u>Kaikeyi's stubbuornness to relent - Vashishta Maharshis intervetion fails and Charioteer Sumanra asked</u> Rama's arrival at the King's Palace

Putraśokārditam pāpā visamiñam patitam bhuvi, vivestamānam udīksva saiksvākam idam abravīt/ pāpam krtveva kim idam mama samśrutva samśravam, śese ksititale sannah sthityām sthātum tvam arhasi/ āhuh satyam hi paramam dharmam dharmavido janāḥ, satyam āśritya hi mayā tvam ca dharmam pracoditaḥ/ samśrutya śaibyah śyenāya syām tanum jagatīpatih, pradāya paksino rājañ jagāma gatim uttamām/ tatha hy alarkas tejasvī brāhmane vedapārage, yācamāne svake netre uddhrtyāvimanā dadau/ saritām tu patih svalpām maryādām satyam anvitah, satyānurodhāt samaye velām khām nātivartate/ samayam ca mamāryemam yadi tvam na karisyasi, agratas te parityaktā parityaksyāmi jīvitam/ evam pracodito rājā kaikeyyā nirviśankayā, nāśakat pāśam unmoktum balir indrakṛtam yathā/ udbhrāntahṛdayaś cāpi vivarnavanado 'bhavat, sa dhuryo vai parispandan yugacakrāntaram yathā/ vihvalābhyām ca netrābhyām apaśyann iva bhūmipaḥ, krcchrād dhairyeṇa samstabhya kaikeyīm idam abravīt/ yas te mantrakrtah pānir agnau pāpe mayā dhrtah, tam tyajāmi syajam caiva tava putram saha tyayā/ tatah pāpasamācārā kaikevī pārthivam punah, uvāca parusam vākvam vākvajnā rosamūrchitā/ kim idam bhāṣase rājan vākyam gararujopamam, ānāyayitum akliṣṭam putram rāmam ihārhasi/ sthāpya rājye mama sutam kṛtvā rāmam vanecaram, nihsapatnām ca mām kṛtvā kṛtakṛtyo bhavisyasi/ sa nunna iva tīksena pratodena hayottamah, rājā pradocito 'bhīksnam kaikeyīm idam abravīt/ dharmabandhena baddho 'smi nastā ca mama cetanā, jyestham putram priyam rāmam drastum icchāmi dhārmikam/ iti rājño vacaḥ śrutvā kaikeyī tadanantaram, svayam evābravīt sūtam gaccha tvam rāmam ānaya/ tataḥ sa rājā tam sūtam sannaharṣaḥ sutam prati, śokāraktekṣaṇaḥ śrīmān udvīkṣyovāca dhārmikaḥ/ sumantraḥ karuṇam śrutvā dṛṣṭvā dīnam ca pārthivam, pragṛhītāñjalih kim cit tasmād deśād apākraman yadā vaktum svayam dainyān na śaśāka mahīpatiḥ, tadā sumantram mantrajñā kaikeyī pratyuvāca ha/ sumantra rāmam draksyāmi śīghram ānaya sundaram, sa manyamānah kalyānam hṛdayena nananda ca/ sumantraś cintayām āsa tvaritam coditas tayā, vyaktam rāmo 'bhisekārtham ihāyāsyati dharmavit, iti sūto matim krtvā harsena mahatā punah, nirjagāma mahātejā rāghavasya didrksayā/ tatah purastāt

sahasā vinirgato; mahīpatīn dvāragatān vilokayan, dadarśa paurān vividhān mahādhanān; upasthitān dvāram upetya viṣṭhitān/

As King was disheartened and lying on the ground with disillusionment, Kaikeyi resumed her tirading harangue: Maharaja! What all you had granted me as your two boons to me are now being socisited now and this would not behove of you to fall on ground like this as this is neither a gentleman's way of conduct nor a truthful fulfillment of a promise. May I once again recall the golden examples of Shibya and Alarka that I had given you and how they had finally achieved 'sadgati' subsequently. The Great Oceans of force and fury too never cross the boundaries prescribed on earth by vidhata. Satyam sananuvartasva yadi dharme dhrutaa matih, sa varah saphalo mestu varado hyaasi sattama/ Truthfulness is of Pranava swarupa embedded into dharma; satya is indestructible and from that truthfulness one secures the Parabrahmatva! Arya! In case you are still unable to fulfil my justified desires as you promised than I would have no other option but to resort to 'atma tyaga'. Evam pracodito rājā kaikeyyā nirviśankayā, nāśakat pāśam unmoktum balir indrakṛtam yathā/ udbhrāntahṛdayaś cāpi vivarṇavanado 'bhavat, sa dhuryo vai parispandan yugacakrāntaram yathā/ This was how Kaikeyi tied up underlining Dasharath's appeal to truthfulness like Bali Chakravarti could not wriggle out from his promise of donating a mere three feet area for Vamana's tapasya!

[Vishleshana on Vamanavatara was detailed in Essence of Vaalmiki Bala Ramayana but some excerpts are given for ready reference: Having been trained in all these disciplines of Dharma, Vamana Deva as a brahmachari had one fine morning left for the Yagna Shaala of Bali Chakravarti as the latter was executing a SacredYagna while carrying his mat, danda /stick, chhatra / umbrella and kamandulu / water vessel. Danava Guru Shukracharya was aware that Vishnu Deva in the form of Vamana Murti was arriving at the Yagna and briefed Bali Chakravarti to be extremely careful as Vishnu was a sauve and highly talented person to put words in the mouths of the opponents. The Guru reminded Chakravarti that the latter denied the age-old practice of rights to yagna's shares to Devataas and that Vamana Murti might as well ask for the revival of the practice but those shares were now enjoying by Danava Chiefs. Bali replied to Danava Guru that in case Vishnu in the incarnation of Vamana Murti came and requested for any thing then how could a King say 'no' to it! Bali told the Danava Guru: Brahman katha -maham bruyaamanyapihi yachitah, Naastiti kim Devasya Samsaarasyaaghahaarinah/ Vratopavaasairvividhairyah Prabhurgrunhatey Harih, Sa mey vakshyati deheeti Govindah kimato -dhikam? Naasteeti yanmayanoktamanyeshaamapi yaachataam, Vakshyaami kathamaaya -tey tadadya chaamarechutey/Shlaagha eva hi veeraanam Daanaacchaapt samaagamah, Na badhaakaari yadyaanam tadanga Balavat smrutam/ (Brahmanaachaarya! How could I deny any body requesting me for a favour! And if that Supreme Deva asked me for a charity, then what else would be the alternative! While Parameswara received the fruits of Vrataas, Upavaasaas, and so on from one and all, and if that Parameswara himself asked a boon from me, could there be a greater fortune to me! When even an ordinary person approached me for a favour, then too that could not be denied by a King; then when Narayana himself asked for it, could such an opportunity presented itself, this chance could never indeed be missed. Even if there are difficulties in executing a charity, the value of charity would get multiplied and 'Veera purushaas' would never deter from performing the deed) Having said the above, Bali asked Shukraachaarya: YataginaatwaaMunisreshtha!Daanavighna karenamey, Naiva Bhavyam Jagannaathey Govidey samupastithey! (By understanding the above, Munisreshta! Please do not create 'Daana Vighnaas' or hurdles in the execution of the Charity!). As Vamana Deva arrived at the Yagna shaala, Bali welcomed him, offered 'Arghya', 'Aasana', Puja and offered him limitless gold, jewellery, elephants, horses, cows, women, clothes, bunches of villages or townships or whatever would be his wish! Vamana Deva replied smilingly: Mamagnisharanaarthaaya dehi Rajan Padatrayam, Suvarnagraamaratnaadi tadarthibhyah pradeeyataam/ (Raja! Please provide to me three feet of land to enable me to set up an Agni- Shaala). Bali said that after all three feet would be nothing as he could ask for a lakh of feet which could be given away, but Vamana Deva replied that he was indeed satisfied with that much of Bhumi and

if the King were to offer more he might as well provide to the other needy! Bali Chakravarti readily agreed not understanding the implication and as the deed of Daana was being executed and Vamana Deva extended his hand to the King and expanded his Vamana Rupa gradually immediately: Sarva Devamayam rupam darshayaamaasa tatkshanaat/ Chandra Suryoutu nayaney dyouh shirascharanou Kshitih, Paadaangulyah Pishaachaastu Hastaangulya –scha Gruhakaah/ Vishvedevaascha jaanusthaa janghey Saadhyaah Surottamaah, Yakshaa nakheshu sambhutaa rekhaapsaraastathaa/ Drushtirrukshaanya seshaani keshaah Suryamshvah Prabhoh, Taarakaa romakupaani romeshu cha Maharshayah/ Baahavo vidishatasya Dishaah Shrotrey Mahatmanah, Ashvinou Shravaney tasya naasaa Vayurmahaatmanah/ Prasadey Chandramaa Devo Mano Dharmah samaashritah, Satyasyaabhavad Vaani Jihvaa Devi Saraswati/ Greevaarditirdeva mataa Vidyaastadvalayastathaa, Swargadwaaramabhunmaitrah twashtaa Pushaa cha vai bhruvou/ Mukhe Vaishvaanarschaascha vrushanou tu Prajaapatih, Hridayamcha Param Brahma Pumstwam vai Kashapo Munih/Prushthesya Vasavo Devaa Marutah Sarva saandhishu, Vakshasthaley tathaa Rudro Dharryachaasya Mahaarnavah/ Udarey chaasya Gandharvaa Marutascha Mahaabalaah, Lakshmirmedhaa Dhrutih Kaantih Sarv Vidyaascha vai Katih/ Sarvajyoteesham Yaaneeha Tapascha Paramam mahat, Tasya Devaadhi Devasya tejah prodbhutamuttamam/ Tanou Kukshishu Vedaascha jaanuni cha Mahaamakhaah, Ishtayah pashavaschaasya Dwujaanaam cheshtitaanicha/ Tasya Devamayam rupam drushtaa Vishnormahaatmanah, Upasarpanti tey Daityaah patangaa iva paavaakam/ Chakshurastu Mahaa Daityaah Paadaangushtham gruheetavaan, Dantaabhyaam tasya vai greevaa mangushtheynaahana dharih/ Prathamya Sarvaansuraan Paadahastathalairvibhuh, Krutwaa Rupam Mahaakaayam Samjahaaraashu Modineem/ Tasya Vikramato Bhumim Chandraadityaou stanaantarey, Nabho Vikramamaanasya sakthidesho stitathaarvibhou/Param Vikramaanasya jaanumuley Prabhaakarou, Vishnoraastaam sthitasyaitow Devapaalana jkarmani/ Jitwaa Lokatrayam taamscha hatwaachaasura pungavaan, Purandaraaya Trailokyam dadou Vishnururukramah/

(Instantly, Vamana Murti displayed his Virat Swarupa: Chandra and Surya were his two Eyes, Shy was his head, Prithvi his feet, Pishachaas were his foot-fingers, Gruhyakaas were his hand fingers, Vishwa Deva Ganaas were in his jaanus /knees, Sadhyas were his janghaas, Yakshaas were his nails, Apsarsaas were his palm lines, Nakshatras were his Eye sight, Surya kiranas were his hairs, Stars were his body hairs, Maharshiganaas were in the hair roots, Vidishas were his hands, Dishaas were his ears, Ashwini Kumars were his faculty of hearing, Vayu was his nose, Chandra Deva was his joking faculty, Dharma Deva was his thinking capacity, Satya was his voice and Saraswati was his tongue, Deva Mata Aditi was his neck, Vidya was his valiyaas or long poles; Pushas were his eye brows, Swarga dwar was his anus, Vaishvanara his face, Prajapati his vrushanaas, Param Brahma was his heart, Kashyapa Muni was his Pumstwa, Vasu Devata was his back, Marutganaas were his Sandhis, Rudra was his Vakshasthala, Mahaarnavaa was his Dhairya, Gangharvas were in his stomach; Lakshmi, Medha, Dhruti, Kaanti and all Vidyaas were in his 'Kati Pradesha'; the luster and radiance in the total Universe as also the Tapo teja or the power of meditation was the reflection of the magnificence of Natayana; Vedas and Sciptures and the huge Yagnaas and the Sacred Deeds of the Virtuous like Maharshis and Brahmanas were all inside in his 'kukshi' or belly. On viewing the Paramatma's 'Virat Swarupa', the so called 'Mahaasuraas' referred to earlier in ignorance by Chakravarti Bali before Prahlada's curse to him got burnt off like flies before a gigantic out berak of Fire! Having thus occupied the Universe in totality including the sub-terrain Sapta Paatalaas, Vamana Deva stated that since Bali took the water in his hand and donated the THREE FEET of Land, and blessed him to be the King of the Sapta Paatalaas and granted him long life till the and of Manvantara of the on-going Vaisawata Manu. He also blessed Bali that all the 'Homa Phalas' at the time of Shraddhas to be performed even by Brahmanas, besides incomplete and defective Vratas, Agni Kaaryaas without ghee, and Kusha grass roots as also the daanas without detachment would belong to Bali and his followers.]

<u>The Sarga is continued:</u> Dashratha's face was like that of an ox irked and tightly tied between two strong wooden poles and his usual brightness of face got faded off pale and his heart beat got speeded up badly. With shaken up face as his usual kingly courage dimmed away, he had with tormented tone uttered the

vedic verse of homage to Agni with prostration stating: Saashtaangam te grihnaami soubhagatvaaya hastam/ and so on and mumbled holding Kaikeyi's both hands: 'Paapini! I am hereby sacrificing my own son of glory'! Then he continued: the night is over and as soon as Surya Deva rises, I shall no doubt declare likewise, but kindly do me the favor of allowing Rama to 'offer jalanjali' after my death! Recently I made the public announcement with pride about Rama's pattabhisheka but please not insist of a similar annoncement openly with my head hanging down with shame. Kaikeyi then said haughtily: Raja! call for Rama now and initiate arrangements for Bharata to become the next King soon. King too desired to see Rama. Meanwhile as the early hours of the morning chimed, Ayodhya got extremely busy with the Rajyabhisheka, as flags were furled afresh, public got assembled gradually on high roads, street corners and market places, shops and temples got busy and a typical atmosphere of joviality and excitement got elated. Vasishtha Maharshi in a great sense of fulfillment accompanied by other Rishis and groups of Vedic Panditas approached Sumanta and instructed him to convey to the King that he had arrived. All types of seeds, sugandhas, honey, ratnas, fresh curds, plentiful milk, kushas, fruits, eight beautiful kanyas, elephants, white horses of excellent nativity, khadga-dhanush-palkis- chhatra- chamarawell fed and huge bulls, simhasanas, vyaghra charmas, suvarna malas, white and coloured robes, herds of white cows, acharyas, brahmana panditas, and the cream citizens of Ayodhya were getting in place rapidly all awaiting the arrival of Pushya Nakshatra soon enough. As per Vasishtha's instruction, Sumamtu entered King Dasharatha's palace to hurry up the King as Vasishtha was already awaiting his arrival. King's erstwhile evening instructions not to allow any visitor was ignored and Sumantu started forcing his way to the King's interior chamber and initiated his praises aloud from a distance just as Maathali the celestial charioteer would to Devendra! He euloguised Dasharatha and requested him to get ready soon as the entire Rajya Sabha pioneered by Vasishtha was awaiting his most auspicious arrival. The more that Sumantu was showering praises on Dasharatha, the worse that Dasharatha was sinking in his spirits. As the was not responding at all, Sumantu heard the voice of Devi Kaikeyi in an agry and harsh tone: Sumanta! Fetch Rama here at once! As Sumantu peeped out there was a commotion of jubilation as of the noisy and uncontrollable waves of the ocean were about to cross its limits.

Sarga Fifteen

Sumanta arrives at Rama's palace

Te tu tām rajanīm uşya brāhmaṇā vedapāragāh, upatasthur upasthānam saharājapurohitāh/ amātyā balamukhyāś ca mukhyā ye nigamasya ca, rāghavasyābhiṣekārthe prīyamāṇās tu saṁgatāḥ/ udite vimale sūrye puşye cābhyāgate 'hani, abhişekāya rāmasya dvijendrair upakalpitam/ kāñcanā jalakumbhāś ca bhadrapītham svalamkrtam, rāmas ca samvagāstīrno bhāsvarā vyāghracarmanā/ gangāyamunayoh punyāt samgamād āhṛtam jalam, yāś cānyāh saritah punyā hradāh kūpāh sarāmsi ca/prāgyāhāś cordhvavāhās ca tirvagvāhāh samāhitāh, tābhyas caivāhṛtam toyam samudrebhyas ca sarvasah/ kşaudram dadhighrtam lājā dharbhāh sumanasah payah,salājāh kşīribhiś channā ghaṭāh kāñcanarājatāḥ, padmotpalayutā bhānti pūrṇāḥ paramavāriṇā/ candrāmśuvikacaprakhyam pāṇḍuram ratnabhūsitam, sajjam tisthati rāmasya vālavyajanam uttamam/ candramandalasamkāśam ātapatram ca pāṇḍuram, sajjam dyutikaram śrīmad abhiṣekapuraskṛtam/ pāṇḍuraś ca vṛṣah sajjah pāndurāśvaś ca susthitah, prasrutaś ca gajah śrīmān aupavāhyah pratīkṣate/ aṣṭau kanyāś ca maṅgalyāh sarvābharanabhūsitāh, vāditrāni ca sarvāni bandinas ca tathāpare/ iksvākūnām yathā rājye sambhriyetābhisecanam, tathā jātīyām ādāya rājaputrābhisecanam/ te rājayacanāt tatra samavetā mahīpatim, apaśyanto 'bruvan ko nu rājño naḥ prativedayet/ na paśyāmaś ca rājānam uditaś ca divākaraḥ, yauvarājyābhiṣekaś ca sajjo rāmasya dhīmataḥ/ iti teṣu bruvāṇeṣu sārvabhaumān mahīpatīn, abravīt tān idam sarvān sumantro rājasatkrtaļ/ ayam prcchāmi vacanāt sukham āyuşmatām aham,

rājñaḥ sampratibuddhasya yac cāgamanakāraṇam/ ity uktvāntaḥpuradvāram ājagāma purāṇavit, āśīrbhir guṇayuktābhir abhituṣṭāva rāghavam/ gatā bhagavatī rātrirahaḥ śivam upasthitam, budhyasva nṛpaśārdūla kuru kāryam anantaram/ brāhmaṇā balamukhyāś ca naigamāś cāgatā nṛpa, darśanam pratikāṅkṣante pratibudhyasva rāghava/ stuvantam tam tadā sūtam sumantram mantrakovidam, pratibudhya tato rājā idam vacanam abravīt/ na caiva samprasuto 'ham ānayed āśu rāghavam, iti rājā daśarathaḥ sūtam tatrānvaśāt punaḥ/ sa rājavacanam śrutvā śirasā pratipūjya tam, nirjagāma nṛpāvāsān manyamānaḥ priyam mahat/ prapanno rājamārgam ca patākā dhvajaśobhitam, sa sūtas tatra śuśrāva rāmādhikaraṇāḥ kathāḥ/ tato dadarśa ruciram kailāsasadṛśaprabham, rāmaveśma sumantras tu śakraveśmasamaprabham/ mahākapāṭapihitam vitardiśataśobhitam, kāñcanapratimaikāgram maṇividrumatoraṇam/ śāradābhraghanaprakhyam dīptam meruguhopamam, dāmabhir varamālyānām sumahadbhir alamkṛtam/ sa vājiyuktena rathena sārathir; narākulam rājakulam vilokayan, tataḥ samāsādya mahādhanam mahat; prahṛṣṭaromā sa babhūva sārathiḥ/ tad adrikūṭācalameghasamnibham; mahāvimānottamaveśmasamghavat, avāryamāṇaḥ priveśa sārathiḥ; prabhūtaratnam makaro vathārnavam/

Through out the previous night, the full strength of Brahmanas and co-Purohitas spent the entire time on the Vedika itself. The Ministers, Senadhipati and his top officials of army-cavalry-elephantry and so on too were in their best uniforms and dresses. The full strength of Brahmanas were busy on the vedika with their respecyive duties. The gorgeous robes for Shri Rama with moon shine bright pure white and yellow sreaked colour stiched with precious stones and jewullery were readied too. Varied kinds of musical instruments and musicians in their striking dresses were readied for action. Meanwhile, Sumantu who had earlier addressed the 'sabha' addressing the audience to add to the excitement: 'I am now leaving for the palace of King Dasharatha to request him to grace here even before Shri Rama would make his grand appearance; are all ready to welcome the King with applauses; then came a reverberating reply with exuberanance and applauses! Then Sumantu reached the palace of the King and forced his way into the interiors despite the protests that the King ordered that none ever should go inside. As Devi Kaikeyi had earlier ordered angrily to bring there at once, Dasharatha too in half sleepy and highly annoyed tone shouted at Sumanta: Ramamaanaya Suteti yadasyabhihito, kimidam kaaranam yena mamaaginaa prativaahyate, na chaiya samaprasuptohamaanayehashu Raghayam/ Haye you not heard the loud instruction to bring Rama at once! Why are you not heeding that instrtuction at once! What is the reason for not compliancing the instruction forthwith! As the King heard the annoyance, Sumanta drove away the chariot at once and on way noticed the unprecedentedly surging crowds on the 'Raja Marga' and made headway to the Palace of Shri Rama which was looking like 'Indra Bhavana' with decorations of flags, huge flower garlands, decorated by lanes, minarets with sky high banners and buntings, strings of most attractively chiselled 'Murtis' in marble stones as also silver and shining brass decoratives at the entrance 'praakaras'. Saaradhi Sumantra then made an entry by his multi- horse driven chariot into the long brass metal covered runway leading to the waiting reception hall. Indeed the Shri Rama's palace was like the elegantly decorated prototype of possibly imaginable Indra Bhavan with the surroundings of green grass of freshness with 'mriga pakshi ramaneeyata' or of the ambience of deers, peacocks and other birds like doves with water fountains.

Sarga Sixteen

Rama and Lakshmana on the way to King's Palace enjoying public's joy at Rama's elevation

Sa tad antaḥpuradvāram samatītya janākulam, praviviktām tataḥ kakṣyām āsasāda purāṇavit/
prāsakārmukabibhradbhir yuvabhir mṛṣṭakuṇḍalaiḥ, apramādibhir ekāgraiḥ svanuraktair adhiṣṭhitām/
tatra kāṣāyiṇo vṛddhān vetrapāṇīn svalamkṛtān, dadarśa viṣṭhitān dvāri stryadhyakṣān susamāhitān/ te
samīkṣya samāyāntam rāmapriyacikīrṣavaḥ, sahabhāryāya rāmāya kṣipram evācacakṣire/ prativeditam
ājñāya sūtam abhyantaram pituḥ, tatraivānāyayām āsa rāghavaḥ priyakāmyayā/ tam vaiśravaṇasamkā śam upaviṣṭam svalamkṛtam, dādarśa sūtaḥ paryanke sauvaṇo sottaracchade/ varāharudhirābheṇa

śucinā ca sugandhinā, anuliptam parārdhyena candanena paramtapam/ sthitayā pārśvataś cāpi vālavyajanahastayā, upetam sītayā bhūyaś citrayā śaśinam yathā/ tam tapantam ivādityam upapannam svatejasā, vavande varadam bandī niyamajño vinītavat/ prāñjalis tu sukham prstvā vihāraśayanāsane, rājaputram uvācedam sumantro rājasatkṛtaḥ/ kausalyā suprabhā deva pitā tvam drastum icchati, mahisyā saha kaikeyyā gamyatām tatra māciram/ eyam uktas tu samhrsto narasimho mahādyutih, tatah sammānayām āsa sītām idam uvāca ha/ devi devas ca devī ca samāgamya madantare, mantreyete dhruvam kim cid abhişecanasamhitam/ lakşayitvā hy abhiprāyam priyakāmā sudakṣiṇā, samcodayati rājānam madartham madireksanā/ vādrśī parisat tatra tādrśo dūta āgatah, dhruvam advaiva mām rājā yauvarājye 'bhiseksyati/ hanta śīghram ito gatvā draksyāmi ca mahīpatih, saha tvam parivārena sukham āssva ramasva ca/ patisammānitā sītā bhartāram asiteksanā, ādvāram anuvavrāja mangalānv abhidadhyusī/ sa sarvān arthino dṛstvā sametya pratinandya ca, tatah pāvakasamkāśam āruroha rathottamam/ musnantam iva caksūmsi prabhayā hemavarcasam, karenuśiśukalpaiś ca yuktam paramavājibhih/ hariyuktam sahasrākşo ratham indra ivāsugam, prayayau tūrņam āsthāya rāghavo jvalitaḥ śriyā/ sa parjanya ivākāśe svanavān abhinādayan, niketān niryayau śrīmān mahābhrād iva candramāh/ chatracāmarapānis tu laksmano rāghavānujah, jugopa bhrātaram bhrātā ratham āsthāya pṛṣṭhataḥ/ tato halahalāśabdas tumulaḥ samajāyata, tasya niṣkramamāṇasya janaughasya samantataḥ/ sa rāghavas tatra kathāpralāpam; śuśrāva lokasya samāgatasya, ātmādhikārā vividhāś ca vācaḥ; prahrstarūpasya pure janasya/ esa śriyam gacchati rāghavo 'dya; rājaprasādād vipulām gamisyan, ete vayam sarvasamṛddhakāmā; yesām ayam no bhavitā praśāstā, lābho janasyāsya yad esa sarvam; prapatsyate rāstram idam cirāya/ sa ghoṣavadbhiś ca hayaih sanāgaih; puraḥsaraiḥ svastika sūtamāgadhaih, mahīyamānah pravaraiś ca vādakair; abhistuto vaiśravano vathā vayau/ karenumātangarathāśvasamkulam; mahājanaughaih paripūrnacatvaram, prabhūtaratnam bahupanyasamcayam; dadarśa rāmo ruciram mahāpatham/

Sumantra reached the inner chamber of the Palace as being under the security of women headed by an old male and asked him to convey that Sumantra had arrived at the door step. On reaching this message Rama realised that the most trusted charioteer of the King Dasharatha had arrived at the door step of the inrerior chamber of his palace and despatched the personal attendants to usher Sumantra to see him. As Sumantra was let in after through the layers of the security rings, he saw Rama was being seated along with his dharmapatni Devi Sita as both were seated together with hand in hand like Chandra and Chitra Nakshatra both smeared with 'sugandhita chandana lepa'. The well-bred, civil, gracious symbol of politeness Sumantra involantarily stated 'Shri Rama! How fortunate and blessed be the mother Koushalya to gave begotten a son like! Having thus exclaimed, Sumantra then conveyed the message that King Dasharatha as being seated with Queen Devi Kaikeyi had asked Rama to meet him at once without any delay whatever.. Then Rama told Devi Sita: Devi devas ca devī ca samāgamya madantare, mantreyete dhruvam kim cid abhişecanasamhitam/ lakşayitvā hy abhiprāyam priyakāmā sudakşiṇā, samcodayati rājānam madartham madirekṣaṇā/ yādṛśī pariṣat tatra tādṛśo dūta āgataḥ, dhruvam adyaiva mām rājā yauvarājye 'bhiseksyati/ hanta śīghram ito gatvā draksyāmi ca mahīpatih, saha tvam parivārena sukham āssya ramasya ca/Devi! It appears that father Dasharatha and mother Kaikeyi together must have surely thought of something very special and auspicious being planned in connection with my impending Rajyabhisheka! It ought to be in respect of a detail that might have slipped away from their thoughthorizons and Mother Kaikeyi therefore ought to have desired to know of my considered opinion for my compliance in that special context! Indeed my mother Kaikeyi must have planned something very very special and hence this message being conveyed only through their most trusted and intimate Sumantra the King's conscience keeper. As the 'antaranga parishad' or the most intimate one to one meeting of my parents must be in progress for my ready compliance, they ought to have commanded for me and hence this very special message! Let me therefore hasten to leave and Devi Sita! Meanwhile do enjoy with you group of your special and intimate mates meanwhile! As Rama got up ready to let Sumanta accompany him, Devi Sita accompanied Rama upto the door as a sign of auspiciousness. Then Sita reminded of her erstwhile suggestion by herself to request the King and the Queen to ascertain from the Vidvans that as a sequel to the Rajyabhisheka it should be a good idea to follow up soon with Rajasuya Yagina also. Indeed

that was how Indra asked Brahma, did he not! My best wishes to you dearest husband as you are then dressed up in deer skin in vrata diksha holding a deer horn and as I would be at service behind you then at the yagina! How indeed would that I would like to imagine that at such glorious occasion, the Vajradhaari Indra from the east, Yama Raja from the south, Varuna Deva from the west and Kubera from the north would protect and bless you! So surmising, Devi Sita came upto the door, as Lakshmana stood waiting for Rama with folded hands. Then Rama met some intimate friends in the middle hall and proceeded to the chariot and gor seated comfortably as driven by Sumantra. As the chariot was proceeding as through on the high road as sounding with 'megha garjana' or the roars of clouds. Lakshman too was standing behind Rama as a body guard. The chariot then passed through the enthusiastic crowds while a group of mighty soldiers surrounded the chariot making way ahead and clearing behind. Then as the chariot was passing through sounds of orchestrated instuments of music were tuned and 'Vandimaagadhas' or well dressed men and women singing away in harmony showering flowers and praises. The onlooker women, all dressed up colourfully were expressing how fortunate was Devi Sita to secure the most deserving husband as Rama! Thus the citizens of Ayodhya were able to have a thrilling glimpses of Rama with surging crowds were being controlled with the Defence Forces lined up all along the route.

Sarga Seventeen

Excellent preparations in the city for the celebrations by the following day

Sa rāmo ratham āsthāya samprahṛṣṭasuhṛjjanah, apaśyan nagaram śrīmān nānājanasamākulam/ sa gṛhair abhrasamkāśaiḥ pāṇḍurair upaśobhitam, rājamārgam yayau rāmo madhyenāgarudhūpitam/ śobhamānam asambādham tam rājapatham uttamam, samvṛtam vividhaiḥ paṇyair bhakṣyair uccāvacair api/ āšīrvādān bahūñ śṛṇvan suhṛdbhiḥ samudīritān yathārham cāpi sampūjya sarvān eva narān yayau/ pitāmahair ācaritam tathaiva prapitāmahaiḥ, adyopādāya tam mārgam abhiṣikto 'nupālaya/ yathā sma lālitāḥ pitrā yathā pūrvaiḥ pitāmahaiḥ, tataḥ sukhataram sarve rāme vatsyāma rājani/ alam adya hi bhuktena paramārthair alam ca naḥ, yathā paśyāma niryāntam rāmam rājye pratiṣṭhitam/ ato hi na priyataram nānyat kim cid bhaviṣyati, yathābhiṣeko rāmasya rājyenāmitatejasaḥ/ etāś cānyāś ca suhṛdām udāsīnaḥ kathāḥ śubhāḥ, ātmasampūjanīḥ śṛṇvan yayau rāmo mahāpatham/ na hi tasmān manaḥ kaś cic cakṣuṣī vā narottamāt, naraḥ śaknoty apākraṣṭum atikrānte 'pi rāghave/ sarveṣām sa hi dharmātmā varṇānām kurute dayām, caturṇām hi vayaḥsthānām tena te tam anuvratāḥ/ sa rājakulam āsādya mahendrabhavanopamam, rājaputraḥ pitur veśma praviveśa śriyā jvalan/ sa sarvāḥ samatikramya kakṣyā daśarathātmajaḥ, samnivartya janam sarvam śuddhāntaḥpuram abhyagāt/ tataḥ praviṣṭe pitur antikam tadā; janaḥ sa sarvo mudito nṛpātmaje, pratīkṣate tasya punaḥ sma nirgamam; yathodayam candramasaḥ saritpatiḥ/

As Rama was thus riding the chariot on the 'Raja Marga' the Royal Highway, he witnessed by himself that the city was decorated to the brim with flags, banners, scented airs of freshness, showers of scented flowers, and surging crowds in lanes and byelanes. The select associates of Rama accompanying him noticed that several onlookers were in trances gazing lost and moved by his darshan with surging tears of joy and fulfillment. Some were stating: āśrvādān bahūñ śṛṇvan suhṛdbhiḥ samudīritān, yathārham cāpi sampūjya sarvān eva narān yayau/ Our sincere blessings to Rama as he was deserving the best! Others were stating in high tones: pitāmahair ācaritam tathaiva prapitāmahaiḥ, adyopādāya tam mārgam abhiṣikto 'nupālaya/ Raghunandana! May you follow the tradition of enormous name and fame with which your great grand fathers, grand fathers and the father ruled and administered with vitue and justice. Some of the onlooking passers by were addressing the audience: yathā sma lālitāḥ pitrā yathā pūrvaiḥ pitāmahaiḥ, tataḥ sukhataram sarve rāme vatsyāma rājani/ Friends and brothers! We should all be far more fotunate to have Rama as the King than how kind and concerned the present and the previous Kings have been! A few of other onlookers expressed: alam adya hi bhuktena paramārthair alam ca naḥ, yathā paśyāma niryāntam rāmam rājye pratiṣṭhitam/ As we are about to vision Rama as the next King soon

after emerging from his father's climactic blessings, then we should be rejoicing with fulfillment now and the 'paramartha maarga' thereafter! Etāś cānyāś ca suhṛdām udāsīnaḥ kathāḥ śubhāḥ, ātmasampūjanīḥ śṛṇvan yayau rāmo mahāpatham/ While listening to the welcome praises and best wishes and compliments being showered on him and the ancesrtry, Rama had well gauged the samples of the public image, their personal affection and their innermost feelings. Sarveṣām sa hi dharmātmā varṇānām kurute dayām, caturṇām hi vayaḥsthānām tena te tam anuvratāḥ/ Dharmatma Shri Rama thus like a cynosure attracted the admiration of all the classes of the Ayodhya society as they were unquestionble loyalists to him surely. Thus Rama had entered the King Dasharatha's Grand Palace and walked in straight in the innermost chamber of the King Dasharatha who was waiting for Rama like the ocean was the Moon indeed!

Sarga Eighteen

Rama witnessing the heart broken Dasharatha and Kaikeyi's rude intervention demanding Rama's Vana Vaasa for fourteen years in prscirbed dress code and of Bharat's Kingship

Sa dadarśāsane rāmo niṣaṇṇam pitaram śubhe, kaikeyīsahitam dīnam mukhena pariśuṣyatā/ sa pituś caranau pūrvam abhivādya vinītavat,tato vavande caranau kaikeyyāh susamāhitah/ rāmety uktvā ca vacanam vāspaparyākuleksanah, śaśāka nṛpatir dīno neksitum nābhibhāsitum/ tad apūrvam narapater dṛṣṭvā rūpam bhayāvaham, rāmo 'pi bhayam āpannah padā spṛṣṭveva pannagam/ indriyair aprahṛṣṭais tam śokasamtāpakarśitam, niḥśvasantam mahārājam vyathitākulacetasam/ ūrmi mālinam akṣobhyam kṣubhyantam iva sāgaram, upaplutam ivādityam uktānṛtam ṛṣim yathā/ acintyakalpam hi pitus tam śokam upadhārayan, babhūva samrabdhataraḥ samudra iva parvaṇi/cintayām āsa ca tadā rāmaḥ pitṛhite rataḥ, kimsvid adyaiva nypatir na mām pratyabhinandati/ anyadā mām pitā dystvā kupito 'pi prasīdati, tasya mām adya sampreksya kimāyāsah pravartate/ sa dīna iva śokārto visannavadanadyutih, kaikeyīm abhivādyaiva rāmo vacanam abravīt/ kaccin mayā nāparādham ajñānād yena me pitā, kupitas tan mamācakṣva tvam caivainam prasādaya/ vivarṇavadano dīno na hi mām abhibhāṣate, śārīro mānaso vāpi kaccid enam na bādhate, samtāpo vābhitāpo vā durlabham hi sadā sukham/ kaccin na kim cid bharate kumāre privadarsane, satrughne vā mahāsattve mātrīnām vā mamāsubham/ atosavan mahārājam akurvan vā pitur vacaḥ,muhūrtam api neccheyam jīvitum kupite nṛpe/ yatomūlam naraḥ paśyet prādurbhāvam ihātmanah,katham tasmin na varteta pratyakse sati daivate/ kaccit te parusam kim cid abhimānāt pitā mama, ukto bhavatyā kopena yatrāsya lulitam manah/ etad ācaksva me devi tattvena pariprechatah, kimnimittam apūrvo 'yam vikāro manujādhipe/ aham hi vacanād rājñah pateyam api pāvake, bhaksayeyam visam tīksnam majjeyam api cārnave, niyukto gurunā pitrā nṛpena ca hitena ca/ tad brūhi vacanam devi rājño yad abhikānkṣitam, kariṣye pratijāne ca rāmo dvir nābhibhāṣate/ tam ārjavasamāyuktam anāryā satyavādinam, uvāca rāmam kaikeyī vacanam bhṛśadāruṇam/ purā devāsure yuddhe pitrā te mama rāghava, raksitena varau dattau sasalyena mahārane/ tatra me yācito rājā bharatasyābhisecanam, gamanam dandakāranye tava cādvaiya rāghaya, yadi satyapratijñam tyam pitaram kartum icchasi, ātmānam ca nararestha mama vākvam idam śrnu/ sa nideśe pitus tistha vathā tena pratiśrutam, tvayāraṇyam praveṣṭavyam nava varṣāṇi pañca ca/ sapta sapta ca varṣāṇi dandakāranyam āśritah, abhisekam imam tyaktvā jatācīradharo vasa/ bharatah kosalapure praśāstu vasudhām imām, nānāratnasamākīrnām savājirathakuñjarām/

As Rama entered the interiors of the King's palace, he found both Dasharatha and Kaikeyi were seated in chairs and were looking drowned in distress and agitation with dried up, swollen faces and pitiable faces. He prostrated before them and touched their feet. Dasaharatha in a feeble tone said: 'Rama!' and burst out and kept silent. There were tears in his eyes and could not look into the eyes of Rama. Rama was alarmed with fear as though he touched a serpent and jumped with shock. He realised that his father was crying away for a long time as though a tragedy attacked him from his senses. He was breathing heavily and broke into crying as if the ocean was distressed with high tides and as though Rahu grasped Surya tightly and with a firm grip. Rama wondered as to what could have been the root cause for this and got agitated

like the ocean waves which rose higher and higher on a full moon night! What indeed could have happened to day as his father was not even speaking to me eye to eye, whereas he would look at most fondly and break into endearing pep talk that each time he met him. Anyadā mām pitā drstvā kupito 'pi prasīdati, tasya mām adya samprekṣya kimāyāsaḥ pravartate/ Normally on any occasion on any day whenever he was angry with me, he was always cool down on seeing me and become normal very soon and get back to his chaaracteristic joviality. So thinking, Rama turning pale with sorrow and dullness then having greeted Kaikeyi once again and asked her: Kaccin mayā nāparādham ajñānād yena me pitā, kupitas tan mamācaksva tvam caivainam prasādava/ vivarnavadano dīno na hi mām abhibhāsate, śārīro mānaso vāpi kaccid enam na bādhate, samtāpo vābhitāpo vā durlabham hi sadā sukham/Mother! Have I committed any blundering slip up mistake due to which my father is serious with me! Kindly ask him to forgive me and get him back to normalcy. I find that today, father is not even looking at me properly, let alone talk to me endearingly; what indeed could have been the cause of this unusual abnormality for this grievous situation! Is either physical ailment or mental disturbance tormenting him! Even one always seeks normalcy in health it is but natural that human body is at timed susceptible some times. kaccin na kim cid bharate kumāre privadarsane, satrughne vā mahāsattve mātrīnām vā mamāsubham/Trust that beloved Bharata or Mahabali Shatrughna or any of mothers Koushalya and Sumitra are happy and safe! yatomūlam naraḥ paśyet prādurbhāvam ihātmanaḥ,katham tasmin na varteta pratyakṣe sati daivate/ kaccit te parusam kim cid abhimānāt pitā mama, ukto bhavatyā kopena yatrāsya lulitam manah/ etad ācaksva me devi tattvena paripṛcchatah, kimnimittam apūrvo 'yam vikāro manujādhipe/ All the human beings realise that their very origin is initiated from the fathers and they are the 'pratyaksha devatas' or the readily visualizable Gods on earth and that is why his anger on me is deplorable. Devi! May I in all seriousness seek your kind reply as to why my father is disgusted with me! Atoşayan mahārājam akurvan vā pitur vacah,muhūrtam api neccheyam jīvitum kupite nrpe/ I am not prepared to live even for an hour or two as my father is unhappy with me out of his disgust!' Then Kaikeyi replied to all the searching queries of Rama in sheer shamelesness as follows: Na Raja kupito Rama vyasanam naasya kinchina, kinchin manogatam tasya thadbhayaannanubhashate/ 'Rama! Maha Raja is neither angry nor faced with any physical nor mental difficulty; but he is unable to express himself out of fear from you! Priyam tvaamapriyam vaktum vaanee naasya pravartate,tadavashyam tvayaa kaaryam yadnenaashrutam mama/ You are his darling son and as such he is disabled to open his mouth to utter what you might not like to hear from him and out of sheer fear of you that he is keeping silent! Once in the past, he was so happy with me as I saved him in a battle when I happened to accompany him in his chariot and he gave me two boons and now having realised the serious impact of those boons, he is repentful when I am demanding their fulfillment now. At that time when he assured to gift the boons to me but now is unable to wriggle out of those promises. Could one withstand the rushing force of a flood with the building of a barrier now! Dharma moolamidam Rama viditam cha sataamapi, tat satyam na tyajet Rajaa kupitastvatkrute yatha/Rama! Truth is the root of Virtue; now you are the root cause of that Truthfulness and Virtuefullness and that is why the King's two options are to lose you or the virtue! Now, you may decide yourself either to forego the value of virtue or to keep it up aloft! Yadi tad vaksyate Rajaa shubham vaa yadiyaashubham, karipyasi tatah sarvamaakhyaami punastavam/ Yadi tyabhihitam raaginaa twayi tatra vipatyate,tatomabhidhaasyaami na yosha twayi vakshyati/ In case if the King desires to declare something- be that auspicious or otherwise- then if you are readily and heartily follow it in letter and spirit, then only I could reveal it, but not otherwise! If only you are able to bear what is the factual then only I could declare it for you vividly and clearly!' As Kaikeyi blasted as above, Rama was stunned like a stone totally shaken up to the roots and stated: 'Aho Devi! You ought not to utter such statements from your mouth and tongue! If only the King orders me, I could jump into ferocius flames, happily consume deadly poison, and jump into the depths of an ocean! Maharaja is my guru, father, well wisher! On receiving his instrutions, what all could I not be done for him. I am hereby swearing that his instruction be fulfilled against by life! Be it known firmly that Rama is not used to double speak ever!' Then Kaikeyi relplied: the foremost fact was that in the context of 'Devasura samgraama' when your was badly hurt by the arrows of the daitya then I saved him and gave my two precsious boons and in turn I am claiming two boons: Tatra me yaachito Raja Bharatasyaabhishechanam, gamanam dandakaaranyo tava chaadaiya

Raghava! Raghava! The first boon that I have desired is that Bharata be gifted with Rajabhisheka and the second boon would be that Rama be despatched to Dandakaranya. If you are truly and unhesitatingly seek to prove that you are a 'Satyavaadi' then you have the choice of being of 'Pitru vaakya paripalaka' or otherwise! Further, you too just now firmed up your vow then you ought to take these promises of the King accordingly! Sa nideśe pitus tiṣṭha yathā tena pratiśrutam, tvayāranyam praveṣṭavyam nava varṣāṇi pañca ca/ sapta sapta ca varṣāṇi daṇḍakāranyam āśritaḥ, abhiṣekam imam tyaktvā jaṭācīradharo vasa/ bharataḥ kosalapure praśāstu vasudhām imām, nānāratnasamākīrṇām savājirathakuñjarām/Thus you should proceed for Vana vaasa for fourteen years soon and allow Bharata's rajyabhisheka! Raghunandana Rama! May you thus resolve the puzzle of your father the King of Ayodhya by upholding dharma and truthfulness and save your father's longstanding reputation!'. As Kaikiyi had thus announced the ultimatum, Dasharatha with swollen eye lids and dried up face drooped his head in shame and could not attempt his face to be shown to Rama. Yet Rama kept his calm and mental equilibrium, while Dasharatha stood up totteringly crying away incessantly.

Sarga Nineteen

Rama agrees to her terms and proceeds to mother Kouashalya to break the news

Tad apriyam amitraghno vacanam maranopamam, śrutvā na vivyathe rāmah kaikeyīm cedam abravīt/ evam astu gamisyāmi vanam vastum aham tv atah, jatācīradharo rājñah pratijñām anupālayan/ idam tu jñātum icchāmi kimartham mām mahīpatih, nābhinandati durdharşo yathāpuram arimdamah/ manyur na ca tvayā kāryo devi brūhi tavāgratah, yāsyāmi bhava suprītā vanam cīrajaṭādharaḥ/ hitena guruṇā pitrā krtajñena nrpena ca,niyujyamāno viśrabdham kim na kuryād aham priyam/ alīkam mānasam tv ekam hṛdayam dahatīva me, svayam yan nāha mām rājā bharatasyābhisecanam/ aham hi sītām rājyam ca prānān istān dhanāni ca, hṛsto bhrātre svayam dadyām bharatāyāpracoditah/kim punar manujendrena svayam pitrā pracoditah, tava ca priyakāmārtham pratijñām anupālayan/ tad āśvāsaya hīmam tvam kim nv idam yan mahīpatih, vasudhāsaktanayano mandam aśrūṇi muñcati/ gacchantu caivānayitum dūtāh śīghrajavair havaih, bharatam mātulakulād advaiva nrpaśāsanāt/ dandakāranvam eso 'ham ito gacchāmi satvarah, avicārva pitur vākvam samāvastum caturdaśa/ sā hrstā tasva tadvākvam śrutvā rāmasva kaikayī, prasthānam śraddadhānā hi tvarayām āsa rāghavam/ evam bhavatu yāsyanti dūtāḥ śīghrajavair hayaih, bharatam mātulakulād upāvartayitum narāh/ tava tv aham ksamam manye notsukasya vilambanam, rāma tasmād itah śīghram vanam tvam gantum arhasi/ vrīdānvitah svayam yac ca nrpas tvām nābhibhāsate, naitat kim cin naraśrestha manyur eso 'panīyatām/ yāvat tvam na vanam yātah purād asmād abhitvaran, pitā tāvan na te rāma snāsyate bhoksyate 'pi vā/ dhik kastam iti nihśvasya rājā śokapariplutaḥ, mūrchito nyapatat tasmin paryanke hemabhūṣite/ rāmo 'py utthāpya rājānam kaikeyyābhipracoditaḥ, kaśayevāhato vājī vanam gantum kṛtatvaraḥ/ tad apriyam anāryāyā vacanam dāruṇodaram, śrutvā gatavyatho rāmaḥ kaikeyīm vākyam abravīt/ nāham arthaparo devi lokam āvastum utsahe, viddhi mām rsibhis tulvam kevalam dharmam āsthitam/ vad atrabhavatah kim cic chakvam kartum privam mayā, prānān api parityajya sarvathā krtam eva tat/ na hy ato dharmacaranam kim cid asti mahattaram, yathā pitari śuśrūṣā tasya vā vacanakriyā/ anukto 'py atrabhavatā bhavatyā vacanād aham, vane vatsyāmi vijane varsānīha caturdaśa/ na nūnam mayi kaikeyi kim cid āśamsase gunam, yad rājānam avocas tvam mameśvaratarā satī/ yāvan mātaram āpṛcche sītām cānunayāmy aham, tato 'dyaiva gamisyāmi dandakānām mahad vanam/ bharatah pālayed rājyam susrūsec ca pitur yathā, tathā bhavatyā kartavyam sa hi dharmah sanātanah/sa rāmasya vacah śrutvā bhṛśam duḥkhahatah pitā, śokād aśaknuvan bāṣpam praruroda mahāṣvanam/ vanditvā caraṇau rāmo visamijñasya pitus tadā, kaikeyyāś cāpy anāryāyā niṣpapāta mahādyutih/ sa rāmaḥ pitaram krtvā kaikeyīm ca pradaksiṇam, niṣkramyāntaḥ -purāt tasmāt svam dadarśa suhrjjanam tam bāspaparipūrņākṣaḥ pṛṣṭhato 'nujagāma ha, lakṣmaṇaḥ paramakruddhah sumitrānandavardhanah/ābhisecanikam bhāndam kṛtvā rāmah pradaksinam, śanair jagāma sāpekso dṛstim tatrāvicālayan/ na cāsya mahatīm laksmīm rājyanāśo 'pakarsati, lokakāntasya kāntatvam šītarasmer iva kṣapā/ na vanam gantukāmasya tyajatas ca vasumdharām, sarvalokātigasyeva laksvate cittavikrivā/ dhāravan manasā duhkham indrivāni nigrhva ca, pravivešātmavān vešma

māturapriyaśamsivān/ praviśya veśmātibhrsam mudānvitam; samīkṣya tām cārthavipattim āgatām, na caiva rāmo 'tra jagāma vikriyām; suhrjjanasyātmavipattisankayā/

Shri Rama replied to Kaikeyi with poise and dignity: 'Evam astu gamişyāmi vanam vastum aham tv atah, jatācīradharo rājñah pratijñām anupālayan/ Mother! What ever instruction that you have given to me would be most certainly carried out as per father's wish and to uphold his decision. I will wear the 'jataacheera' while moving out of Ayodhya as per your wish most certainly! But, mother! why is my father who is an outstanding warrior with great strength of fortitude is remainig silent. He is my well wisher, mentor, and father and I am ever grateful to him all through my life. May I, if you do not mind, make this query! This doubt is arising as to why my father himself never expressed his desire to let Bharata be the next king! Aham hi sītām rājyam ca prānān istān dhanāni ca, hṛsto bhrātre svayam dadyām bharatāyāpracoditah/ kim punar manujendrena svayam pitrā pracoditah, tava ca priyakāmārtham pratijñām anupālayan/ Even by your own instruction, I could have left this kingdom, discard Devi Sita, and even sacrifice my life without hesitation and even with joy! In case my father instucted me to keep up his word of his prestige and promise, would I hesitate to comply with it happily! From my own side, please give an assurance to the King that he need not keep crying away looking down on earth and without lifting his chin and upholding his head! daṇḍakāraṇyam eṣo 'ham ito gacchāmi satvarah, avicārya pitur vākyam samāvastum caturdaśa/ I am ready to leave for dandakaranya straight away!' As Rama thus readily consented to comply with her desire rightaway, Kaikeyi was glad and said that she would send a message to Bharata to return forthwith from his maternal uncle's kingdom since Rama would leave for the forests at once. She further commented that his departure be acted upon at once, lest Dashratha would not be able to take his bath and food. As she commented thus: Dashratha heaved with long breathing shouted: 'dhhikkara! What kind of misfortune has fallen onto me!' and having said thus swooned and fell on his golden bed. Then ShriRama lifted his swooned father, arranged him in a lying posture and even as leaving for his travel to dandakaranya reacted to Kaikeyi's heinous jibe that Rama's departure if further delayed, his father might not take his bath and food as follows: 'Devi! I would never wish to anchor my life for the sake of wealth. Kindly be assured that like Rishis I would value Dharma far beyond the reaches of wealth. I could any day discard even by life but not the values of virtue! Kindly remember this as my parting assurance. 'Pitru agina paripalana' of my father's instruction happens to be my outstanding dharma and I esteem that far above my very life. Anukto 'py atrabhavatā bhavatyā vacanād aham, vane vatsyāmi vijane varsānīha caturdaśa/ na nūnam mayi kaikeyi kim cid āśamsase gunam, yad rājānam avocas tvam mameśvaratarā satī/ Even if my faher has not instructed me to proceed for 'aranya vaasa' by himself, I deem that you have an equal authority to instruct me yourself. Please never hesitate to do so as you have yet to assess me deeper. Now I shall seek my mother Devi Kousalya's blessings too forthwith and explain the position to Sita too before proceeding for 'dandakaranya'. Kindly also explain the position suitably as he should assume kingship forthwith as a great relief to the revered father and seve hom in the old age as that is the traditionl virtue and of responsibility'. So saying to Devi Kaikeyi, Rama prostrated to the swooned father, touched the feet of Devi Kaikeyi and having circumabulated them both made an exit from the 'antahpura' the interiormost chamber even as Lakshmana as also were suppressing their anger and anguish. Rama then was mentally prepared and decided to proceed for the travel forthwith. The select gathering of friends, associates, and prominet citizens who were already aware of the meteor like stunning news of Rama's departure for 'dandakaranya' instead of Rajyabhisheka were nonplussed with disbelief and dismay. Then Rama proceeded to Queen Koushalya's palace with his charactersic equanmity and poise. Lakshmana too was suppressing his mental turmoil and accompanied Rama.

Sarga Twenty

Koushalya's sudden and of tragic news leads to agony and standstill senselessness as Rama seeks to pacify

Rāmas tu bhrśam āyasto nihśvasann iva kuñjarah, jagāma sahito bhrātrā mātur antahpuram vaśī/ so 'paśyat purusam tatra vrddham paramapūjitam, upavistam grhadvāri tisthataś cāparān bahūn/ praviśya prathamām kaksyām dvitīyāyām dadarśa saḥ, brāhmaṇān vedasampannān vṛddhān rājñābhisatkṛtān/ praņamya rāmas tān vṛddhāms tṛtīyāyām dadarśa saḥ striyo vṛddhāś ca bālāś ca dvārarakṣaṇatatparāḥ/ vardhavitvā prahrstās tāh praviśva ca grham strivah, nyavedavanta tvaritā rāma mātuh privam tadā/ kausalyāpi tadā devī rātrim sthitvā samāhitā, prabhāte tv akarot pūjām viṣṇoḥ putrahitaiṣiṇī/ sā kṣaumavasanā hṛṣṭā nityam vrataparāyaṇā, agnim juhoti sma tadā mantravat kṛtamaṅgalā/ praviśya ca tadā rāmo mātur antahpuram subham, dadarsa mātaram tatra hāvavantīm hutāsanam/ sā cirasvātmajam drstvā mātrnandanam āgatam, abhicakrāma samhrstā kiśoram vadavā yathā/ tam uvāca durādharsam rāghavam sutam ātmanah, kausalyā putravātsalyād idam priyahitam vacah/ vrddhānām dharmasīlānām rājarsīnām mahātmanām, prāpnuhy āyuś ca kīrtim ca dharmam copahitam kule/ satyapratijñam pitaram rājānam paśya rāghava, advaiva hi tvām dharmātmā yauvarājye 'bhiseksyati/ mātaram rāghavah kim cit prasāryāñjalim abravīt, sa svabhāvavinītas ca gauravāc ca tadānataḥ/ devi nūnam na jānīṣe mahad bhayam upasthitam, idam tava ca duḥkhāya vaidehyā lakṣmaṇasya ca/ caturdaśa hi varṣāṇi vatsyāmi vijane vane, madhumūlaphalair jīvan hitvā munivad āmisam/ bharatāya mahārājo yauvarājyam prayacchati, mām punar daṇḍakāraṇyam vivāsayati tāpasam/ tām aduḥkhocitām dṛṣṭvā patitām kadalīm iva, rāmas tūtthāpayām āsa mātaram gatacetasam/ upāvrtyotthitām dīnām vaḍavām iva vāhitām, pāmsugunthitasarvāgnīm vimamarsa ca pāninā/ sā rāghavam upāsīnam asukhārtā sukhocitā, uvāca purusavyāghram upasrnvati laksmane/ yadi putra na jāyethā mama sokāya rāghava, na sma duhkham ato bhūyah paśyeyam aham aprajā/ eka eva hi vandhyāyāh śoko bhavati mānavah, aprajāsmīti samtāpo na hy anyaḥ putra vidyate/ na dṛṣṭapūrvaṁ kalyāṇaṁ sukhaṁ vā patipauruṣe, api putre vipaśyeyam iti rāmāsthitam mayā/ sā bahūny amanojñāni vākyāni hṛdayacchidām, aham śrosye sapatnīnām avarāṇām varā satī, ato duḥkhataram kim nu pramadānām bhaviṣyati/ tvayi samnihite 'py evam aham āsam nirākṛtā, kim punah prosite tāta dhruvam maranam eva me/ yo hi mām sevate kaś cid atha vāpy anuvartate, kaikeyyāh putram anvīksya sa jano nābhibhāsate/ daśa sapta ca varsāni tava jātasya rāghava, atītāni prakānksantyā mayā duhkhapariksayam/ upavāsaiś ca yogaiś ca bahubhiś ca pariśramaih, duḥkham samvardhito mogham tvam hi durgatayā mayā/ sthiram tu hṛdayam manye mamedam van na dīrvate, prāvrsīva mahānadvāh sprstam kūlam navāmbhasā/ mamaiva nūnam maranam na vidvate; na cāvakāśo 'sti vamaksaye mama, vad antako 'dvaiva na mām jihīrsati; prasahya simho rudatīm mṛgīm iva/sthiram hi nūnam hṛdayam mamāyasam; na bhidyate yad bhuvi nāvadīryate, anena duhkhena ca deham arpitam; dhruvam hy akāle maranam na vidyate/ idam tu duhkham yad anarthakāni me; vratāni dānāni ca samyamāś ca hi, tapaś ca taptam yad apatyakāranāt; sunisphalam bījam ivoptam ūsare/ Yadi hy akāle maranam svayecchayā; labheta kaś cid guru duhkha karśitah, gatāham advaiva pareta samsadam; vinā tvayā dhenur ivātmajena vai/bhṛśam asukham amarsitā tadā; bahu vilalāpa samīkṣya rāghavam, vyasanam upaniśāmya sā mahat; sutam iva baddham avekṣya kiṁnarī/

As the frightful news Rama's instantly proceeding to 'dandakaranya' and of Bharat's pattabhisheka subsequently was spread up like wild fire, there were talks that King Dasharatha had gone insensitive and even insane. From the queen's palaces there were loud and incessant 'aartanaadaas' or howls of cryings especially from the palaces of queens by their maids and male servants who had almosr gone berserk like unruly herds of cows. Out of shame, King Dasharatha hid himself and so did the friends and relatives staying in the royal palaces from public interaction. Shri Rama then proceeded to his mother Devi Kaushalya's inner chambers accompanied by Lakshmana. While entering the queen's inner chamber, there were intimate servants and select visitors making 'Jaya jaya ninaadaas' or loud victory sounds and shouts of spontaneous sympathies. Select groups of elderly Vedagjna Pandithas raised their tones of 'vijayee bhava' or may Rama be ever victoriuos! The 'aantarangika' intimate and chosen women of the Prime Queen Devi Kausalya ran ahead to notify Shri Rama's arrival. The queen was awake through the previous night earnestly performing Vishnu Puja and was just concluding the 'aahutis' or offerings to Agni. Raghunandana Rama then realised that in that 'Deva Karya' she was surrounde by several 'puja dravyas' like curd, akshatas,ghee, modakas, havishya, dhaanya, white flower garlands, samidhas and

naivedyas and kalasha patras with sacred waters of rivers. She was wearing a bright and white saree and was looking extremely tired due to 'raatri jagarana and upavaasa' or keeping awake the night long and fasting. It was in that condition as she was offering 'tarpana' to Devas of her faith, Devi Koushalya was nearing Rama like a female horse was nearing its colt. Rama prostrated and touched her feet and she had atonce hugged him with mother's love. She said: my darling son! May you be blessed with long life, glory and victory in what ever task you would handle. She said further: Maha Raja had decided to soon fulfill your rajyaabhisheka as the Yuva Raja! Then she requested him to be seated comfortably first and take his food too. Thereafter having realised that he would have to at once proceed for 'dandakaranya' he initiated saying with folded hands: devi nūnam na jānīse mahad bhayam upasthitam, idam tava ca duhkhāya vaidehyā laksmanasya ca/ caturdaśa hi varsāni vatsyāmi vijane vane, madhumūlaphalair jīvan hitvā munivad āmisam/ bharatāya mahārājo yauvarājyam prayacchati, mām punar dandakāranyam vivāsayati tāpasam/ 'Devi! You are indeed not aware that there is a huge danger awaiting you and on realising this, Sita too would be shaken up as you too. Now, I am destined to proceed to dandakaranya and now you are asking me be seated comfortably as I should be soon seated on a mat of 'kusha grass'! I would have now to discard the kingly pleasures now and be contented with 'kanda mula phala-pattas', or leaves and roots for food for fourteen years in thick forests. King Dasharatha had decided that Bharata be the King and I be despatched as a tapasvi to dandakaranya. As I have to leave for the forests now, would it not be proper to wear kusha grass clothing and be content with the food of roots and leaves.' On hearing the statement of Rama, Devi Kouslya had collapsed with a shock like a massive 'salva vriksha' got smashed with a mighty axe, just as celestial woman was forced to fall down wilfully on earth! All through her life, she never was aware as to what the expression of misery had meant nor had ever experienced it all through her erstwhile life. She then sought Rama's assistance to stand some how as the latter sought to brush out the dust from her body. She then attempted to speak to Rama while Lakshmana was present too: 'My son Raghu nandana! I am now faced with such a tragedy that I would have liked to have been a childless barren woman and thart you were not born to me at all so that this pitiable condition would not have been encountered by me. A barren woman would perhaps been worried that a child were not born to her at all. Rama! I longed for and cherished the fulfillment of my ambition that even during my prime queenship, my husband would bestow the gift of my son's Rajyabhishekha and that I would have the privilege of being the 'Raja maata' while I would have reaped the advantages thereby. Now I would have to listen and bear the taunts and sneers of the forthcoming Queen Mother. Then what would happen when you should be away for very long! Women could never tolerate such a situation excepting misery and abusive slurs! Being excessively obssessed with his pretty and youngext wife, my husband has been passive with me for long time now. Now the situation would be far the worse especially her son Bharata would be the king. How indeed could I pass my time without your being away and Devi Kaikeyi would soon become harsh, fault finding and abusive towards me now on! Now your child hood and bachelorship were over and you had entered married life and I have been longing for peaceful and contented life ahead, but with no support from cognizable sources, how do you presume my daily life would not be a deathlike misery! Do you not realise that with growing age and with no possible support, you mother would be left away to doom and death! My son! Do you not realise that I observed frequent fastings, Deva Pujas, bringing you up the extraordinary care, helping and guiding the helpess men and women, and countless deeds of virtue, but is there a return now when I am in dire need for myself. sthiram tu hrdayam manye mamedam yan na dīryate, prāvrsīva mahānadyāh sprstam kūlam navāmbhasā/ mamaiya nūnam maranam na vidyate; na cāvakāśo 'sti yamaksaye mama, yad antako 'dyaiya na mām jihīrṣati; prasahya simho rudatīm mṛgīm iva/ Rama! Indeed my heart is like a stone bearing what all has befallen to me; in fact, it is like a boulder withstanding the unusual force of heavy rains originated from high mountains! Most essentially learnt lesson of my life is that what all the outcome of lifelong vratadaana-limb controls are a mere waste. The long and deep meditations that were made for good progeny proved to be like sowing seeds for reaping wasteful dry grass. I should be like a helpless old cow without the support of a male calf, ever waiting for Yama Raja to be kind and lift me up with death soon for relief from my bondage!

Sarga Twenty One

Lakshmana gets agitated at the turn of the events and so did Kousalya but Rama assuages their badly hurt psyche, but Rama explains that 'pitru vaakya paripaalana' ought to be his life's motto and dharma.

tasya jyestho 'si dāyādo rāma ity abhiviśrutah, tad grhāņa svakam rājyam aveksasva jagan nṛpa/ikṣvākūṇām hi sarveṣām rājā bhavati pūrvajaḥ, pūrvajenāvaraḥ putro jyeṣṭho rājye 'bhiṣicyate/ Tathā tu vilapantīm tām kausalvām rāmamātaram, uvāca laksmano dīnas tat kālasadrsam vacah/ na rocate mamāpy etad ārye yad rāghavo vanam, tyaktvā rājyaśriyam gacchet striyā vākyavaśam gatah/ viparītas ca vrddhas ca visavais ca pradharsitah, nrpah kim iva na brūvāc codyamānah samanmathah/ nāsyāparādham paśyāmi nāpi dosam tathā vidham, yena nirvāsyate rāstrād vanavāsāya rāghavah/ na tam paśyāmy aham loke paroksam api yo narah, amitro 'pi nirasto 'pi yo 'sya dosam udāharet/ devakalpam rjum dāntam ripūnām api vatsalam, avekṣamāṇaḥ ko dharmam tyajet putram akāraṇāt/ tad idam vacanam rājñah punar bālyam upeyuṣaḥ, putraḥ ko hṛdaye kuryād rājayṛttam anusmaran/ yāvad eva na jānāti kaś cid artham imam narah, tāvad eva mavā sārdham ātmastham kuru śāsanam/ mavā pārśve sadhanuṣā tava guptasya rāghava, kah samartho 'dhikam kartum kṛtāntasyeva tisthatah/ nirmanuşyām imām sarvām ayodhyām manujarşabha, karişyāmi śarais tīkṣṇair yadi sthāsyati vipriye/ bharatasyātha paksyo vā yo vāsya hitam icchati, sarvān etān vadhisyāmi mṛdur hi paribhūyate/ tvayā caiva mayā caiva kṛtyā vairam anuttamam, kasya śaktih śriyam dātum bharatāyāriśāsana/ anurakto 'smi bhāvena bhrātaram devi tattvataḥ, satyena dhanuṣā caiva datteneṣṭena te śape/ dīptam agnim araṇyam vā vadi rāmah praveksvate, pravistam tatra mām devi tvam pūrvam avadhārava/ harāmi vīrvād duhkham te tamah sūrya ivoditah, devī paśyatu me vīryam rāghavaś caiva paśyatu/ etat tu vacanam śrutvā laksmanasya mahātmanah, uvāca rāmam kausalyā rudantī śokalālasā/ bhrātus te vadatah putra laksmanasya śrutam tvayā, vad atrānantaram tat tvam kurusva yadi rocate/ na cādharmyam vacah śrutvā sapatnyā mama bhāsitam, vihāya śokasamtaptām gantum arhasi mām itah/dharmajña yadi dharmistho dharmam caritum icchasi, śuśrūsa mām ihasthas tvam cara dharmam anuttamam/ śuśrūsur jananīm putra svagrhe niyato vasan, parena tapasā yuktaḥ kāśyapas tridivam gatah/ yathaiva rājā pūjyas te gauravena tathā hv aham, tvām nāham anujānāmi na gantavvam ito vanam/ tvadvivogān na me kārvam jīvitena sukhena vā, tvavā saha mama śrevas trnānām api bhaksanam/ vadi tvam vāsvasi vanam tvaktvā mām śokalālasām, aham prāyam ihāsişye na hi śakṣyāmi jīvitum/ tatas tvam prāpsyase putra nirayam lokaviśrutam, brahmahatyām ivādharmāt samudrah saritām patih/vilapantīm tathā dīnām kausalyām jananīm tatah, uvāca rāmo dharmātmā vacanam dharmasamhitam/ nāsti śaktih pitur vākyam samatikramitum mama, prasādaye tvām śirasā gantum icchāmy aham vanam/ rsinā ca pitur vākyam kurvatā vratacārinā, gaur hatā jānatā dharmam kandunāpi vipaścitā/ asmākam ca kule pūrvam sagarasyājñayā pituh, khanadbhiḥ sāgarair bhūtim avāptah sumahān vadhaḥ/ jāmadagnyena rāmena reņukā jananī svayam, kṛttā paraśunāraṇye pitur vacanakārinā/ na khalv etan mayaikena kriyate pitṛśāsanam, pūrvair ayam abhipreto gato mārgo 'nugamyate/ tad etat tu mayā kāryam kriyate bhuvi nānyathā, pitur hi vacanam kurvan na kaś cin nāma hīvate/ tām evam uktvā jananīm laksmanam punar abravīt, tava laksmana jānāmi mavi sneham anuttamam, abhiprāvam avijñāva satvasva ca śamasva ca/ dharmo hi paramo loke dharme satyam pratiṣṭhitam, dharmasamśritam etac ca pitur vacanam uttamam/ samśrutya ca pitur vākyam mātur vā brāhmanasya vā, na kartavyam vṛthā vīra dharmam āśritya tisthatā/ so 'ham na śakṣyāmi pitur niyogam ativartitum, pitur hi vacanād vīra kaikeyyāham pracoditaḥ/ tad enām visrjānāryām ksatradharmāśritām matim, dharmam āśraya mā taiksnyam madbuddhir anugamyatām/ tam evam uktvā sauhārdād bhrātaram lakṣmaṇāgrajaḥ, uvāca bhūyaḥ kausalyām prāñjaliḥ śirasānataḥ/ anumanyasva mām devi gamisyantam ito vanam, śāpitāsi mama prānaih kuru svastyayanāni me,tīrņapratijnas ca vanāt punar esyāmy aham purīm/ yaso hy aham kevalarājyakāranān; na pṛṣṭhatah kartum alam mahodayam, adīrghakāle na tu devi jīvite; vṛṇe 'varām adya mahīm adharmataḥ/ prasādayan naravrsabhah sa mātaram; parākramāj jigamisur eva dandakān, athānujam bhrsam anuśāsya darśanam; cakāra tām hṛdi jananīm pradaksinam/

As Devi Kousalya was describing of the fate of a helpless woman, Lakskmana sought to cut short her description of another type of a woman with a knife laced with honey edges. He explained that Shri Rama too was most unhappy with the ongoing happenings but the nature in another type of womanhood as of Kaikeyi had become overwhelming for the father. 'Elder mother! you must please understand that firstly father has become old and lost balance of mind along with his analytical power. Secondly, he is under the control of Kamadeva. I am totally convinced that Rama is above board and does not deserve to be humiliated and banished for fourteen hard years of jungle life by any stretch of imagination but is bound by the dictum of 'pitru vaakya paripalana thus he having become a victim of circumstances being tied up tightly with principles. Now, as regards King Dashartha, you ought to be aware that as to which father who has the great reputation of being an outstanding reputation of courage, diplomacy and enormous love for Rama would have ever imagined of banishing his own son especially as the latter is a soft, clean minded, self controlled and even passive for his sworn enemies! All the same, how indeed such reputed King could have taken a childish decision is due to the huge pressure on his mind'. Thus Lakshman sought to soften the troubled psyche of Devi Koushalya. Then Lakshmana addressed Shri Rama: 'Raghu veera! When you hold and lift up your dhanush and stand straight up like Yama Raja with extreme concentration to destroy the enemy, who do you think that stands beside you for defence behind and who else do you realise that along with you would by complementing and multiplying your arrows and suffocate the opposing forces. In case either Bharata or his co defending champions fight against you or me, then the again the entire Ayodhya could be dismantled into splintered pieces. If an eventuality might arise that Kaikeyi encourages violence against you, then I am prepared to throw her into prison even against the will of the King Dasharatha! Raghunandana! How dare one could oppose me and that Bharata to be made the King. Anurakto 'smi bhāvena bhrātaram devi tattvataḥ, satyena dhanuṣā caiva datteneştena te sape/ dīptam agnim araṇyam vā yadi rāmah pravekṣyate, praviṣṭam tatra mām devi tvam pūrvam avadhāraya/ harāmi vīryād duhkham te tamah sūrya ivoditah, devī paśyatu me vīryam rāghayaś caiva paśyatu/My senior mother! I swear on my truthfulness, my dhanush, the charities that I have given away and so on, believe me that I admire and love Rama for ever! I could jump into flames for his sake even as we are about to enter into deep, thick and dingy jungles! Then the bravery and fortitude of Rama as supplemented by my own too should protect you from any eventuality of sorrow and helplessness like the brightness of Sun smashes darkness'. As Lakshmana assuaged Koushalya's pitiable condition and fright, she stated: 'My son Rama! As I am strengthened by Lakshmana's assurances, I am being slowly getting somewhat relieved of my distress and dismay. As such, I leave you to abide by your own volition and may decide as per your considered judgment. Yet at the same time, you are no doubt aware that 'seva' to mother would be as per dharma. *yathaiya rājā pūjyas te gauravena tathā hy aham, tvām nāham* anujānāmi na gantavyam ito vanam/ tvadviyogān na me kāryam jīvitena sukhena vā, tvayā saha mama śreyas tṛṇānām api bhakṣaṇam/ yadi tvam yāsyasi vanam tyaktvā mām śokalālasām, aham prāyam ihāsiṣye na hi śakṣyāmi jīvitum/ Just as you are proud and respectful of your father, so ought to be of your mother. I might not be able to instuct you to get lost into the forests, but surely request you not go to the forests. In case you decide not to accede to my request, I find to reason to my carry on with my life. If you leave me behind like this, then I should keep on fasting for days or months and fall dead.' Then Rama replied: 'Dear adored mother! May I place my head down at your feet. I have no capability and audacity to negate father's instructions and have no option but to go to dandakaranya as that would tantamount to 'go hatya'. There was the instance of Vidvan Kandu Muni on receiving the instruction of his father never hesitated to perform 'go hatya'! asmākam ca kule pūrvam sagarasyājñayā pituh, khanadbhih sāgarair bhūtim avāptah sumahān vadhah/ jāmadagnyena rāmeņa reņukā jananī svayam, kṛttā paraśunāraṇye pitur vacanakārinā/Our heritage and ancestry has been such that by the instruction of Sagara Chakravarti, his son and even the latter lineage of King's of Bhagiratha were never contented to dig up earth and secure Akasha Ganga to Patala to purify the souls of the ancestors. Also, Bhargava Rama the son of Maharshi followed the instruction and killed his own mother!

[Vishleshanas on 1. Bhagiratha and 2. Parashu Rama . Bhagiratha: Emporer Sagara performed Asvamedha (Horse) Sacrifice and Indra hid the horse which was discovered by the unruly 60,000 sons of

Sagara, nearby the place where Sage Kapila was practising Sankhaya Yoga and when disturbed badly, the Sage burnt all of them into ashes by his power. Sagar's another son Ansuman pursued the search of the Sacrificial Horse and found the Horse where Kapila was in meditation. Ansuman begged of the Sage about the where- abouts of his cousins and was informed that the hooligans were burnt to death and could be brought back to life only when washed by the River of Ganges which could only be brought down to Earth from the Skies. The Sacrifice of Horse having been performed by Sagara, Ansuman began his devotion to Lord Siva to bring Ganges down to Earth. But neither he nor his father Dilipa could succeed in the mission. It was for **Bhagiradha** to purse the operation further. His life's mission was to bring Ganges down to Earth from Heavens. Bhagiradha's prayers were indeed granted by Mother Ganges to the devotee but warned him that the force of the flow from the Heavens to Earth could be withstood by no less than Lord Siva Himself! Bhagiradha never stopped his grand endeavour and worshipped Lord Siva with ausretity and purity who agreed, not only because of the sincerity with which the devotee desired to fulfill the long-standing family wish but also owing to the reason of Universal advantage. The Lord assumed a massive body and controlled the force of the River flowing from Lord Vishnu's feet and bore the brunt of the impact on His head in His 'Jatajut' or twisted hairs and released but a portion of the Holy River. Bhagiradha directed the fiery flow by riding a fast Chariot and brought it to the place where the ashes of his forefathers were purified and their souls liberated to Heavens. Maha Bhagavata) Parashu Raama was a paradigm of paternal devotion and destruction of Evil. In the lineage was born Jamadagni and his wife Renuka gave birth to their youngest son Parasu Rama or Rama with an axe. He destroyed the whole clan of contemporary Kings who were tyrants and cruel to their Subjects. Devi Renuka the mother of Parasurama reached a River for bathing and found a Gandharva King too bathing with his wives. She had a slight fascination of the Gandharva in her mind. This was noticed by Jamadagni and as she returned from the river-bed ordered her head to be chopped. Son Parasurama killed his mother with his axe instantly even as an evil-feeling of mind was felt by her. Sage Jamadagni appreciated the spontaneous action and asked for a boon to Parasurama and the latter requested that his mother be brought to life again. Such was the paternal devotion and fearlessness of Parasurama who re-established Dharma and valour. Maha Bhagavatal

Shri Rama continued: 'There were many instances of 'Pitru VakyaParipalana' down the ages being fully aware of the risks of blatant 'adharma' like digging the earth deep, 'go hatya' and even 'maatru hatya'! Naaham dharmapurvam te pratikulam pravartaye, purvairabhipreto gato maargonugamyate/ Therefore, dear mother, I am not diverging from the established principles of dharma which my ancestors, or Rishis or Maha Panditas had traversed along in the past. Tadetat tu mayaa kaaryam kriyate bhuvi naanyathaa, piturhi vachanam kurvan na kaschinnaama heeyate/ I am faithfully following the most appropriate path destined and prescribed for me and nothing contrary to it. Whosoever would follow the instructed path chosen for my father should be indestructible howsoever frightful and heinous that might be!' Having thus reiteretaing his decision of 'aranya vaasa', Rama addressed Lakshmana as follows: 'Brother Lakshmana! I am fully seized of your attachment for me and are your valour, bravery and indomitable energy. Mother Koushalya is highly agitated and is unable to overcome it. She is still not unable to appreciate the values of dharma, satya, dama, and kshama or virtue-truthfulness- self restraint and forgiveness. You are aware of the value of dharma on earth in which truthfulness is embedded into. Father's directive to me is a component of dharma. Persons of faith and worthy significance have the duty of complying with and obeying the instructions of father, mother, guru and the learned. Veera Lakshmana! That is why father's considered instruction could not be trangressed as explained in his presence by no uncertain terms by Devi Kaikeyi. That is why those who abide by the 'kshaatra dharma'ought to discard the so called common sense, anchor to dharma and soften the resistance and attitudinal rigidity.' Having thus firming up his resolute action, he bent down at his mother's feet once again and said: Anumanyasva maam Devi! gamishyaantamito vanam, shaapitaasi mama praanaih kuru svastyanaani me/Devi! I will proceed to the forests and give me your permission with best your wishes for 'swasti' and farewell. Just as Rajarshi Yayati in the past had abandoned swarga and returned to earth, I too take a vow that I shall most certainly return to Ayodhya.! Shokam sandhaaryataam maatarhridaye

saadhu maa shuchah, vanavaasaadi haishyaami punah kritvaa piturvachah/ Dear mother! do very kindly suppress your anguish and do not cry away; after obveing the instructions of revered father, I will most certainly return back to Ayodhya! My sincere advice to you, to me, to Sita, to Lakshman, and Mother Sumitra too that we ought not to transgress the wishes of dear father and that indeed is the 'sanaatana dharma' the age old and time less principle! Mother! do not vet discard all items meant for the Rajyabhisheka but do please suppess your emotions, have the items required for my forest life to be offered to me and kindly allow me to exit for now. As Rama had thus unemotionally and convincingly assuaged the most disturbed psyche of his mother, the latter had some what recovered and said: 'dear son! In the context of dharma I am also visualising the inevitable vitable and sudden occurences; but indeed could I survive in your absence. You should not have left me away in this way. How could I survive in your absence! Of which worth are all these fastings, pujas and jagaranas! What have I achieved now excepting of a 'jeevan mrityu' or of the form of a dead alivenesss!' Then Devi Kousalya addressed Lakashmana and said: I am no doubt aware of your valour and deep attachment to Rama but you are also a party to this mess and are putting me and Sumitra too subjecting us to untold misery. I am fully seized of the outstanding significance of Dharma per se, but are ignoring the other aspects of dharma like bharya dharma-artha dharma-and kaama dharma and these three essential aspects of dharma. 'Atthi satkara' along with one's wife is dharma; like wise, execution in the form of one's beloved wife is kaama dharma; putra prapti and subsequent attainment post life is dharma. Dharma encompasses discharge of artha-kama-mokshas of the Purushaarthaas. Dharma against the rudimentary precepts of 'purushaarthaas' is that which is devoid of meaningful life and be worthy of being discarded. I am aware the a father figure is of uniqueness but the directives given by him out of infatuation, or mental disability, or prejudice, or anger are worthy of discarding; the carry outs of such mental aberrations of a father are not prodharma but its negations. Kumara Lakshmana! Remember, while following the instruction of a cruel father, then one should seek to the considered advises of the mother or a guru.' As Kousalya was prompting Lakshmana like wise, Rama tried to some how divert the attention of both of them; indeed, he felt her genuine expressions of agony at the misfortune befallen on her suddenny and over night, especially from the peaks of the erstwhile rejoicement. But since he had made up his mind with his firm decision he felt that he would have liked to some how moved out prostrating and circumambulating thrice before his departure along with Lakshmana. He then addressed Lakshmana as a diversion.

Sarga Twenty Two

Rama asked Lakshmana to remove all the preparatory materials like the vessels etc. meant for his Rajyabhisheka since that would be unwanted then

Atha tam vyathayā dīnam saviśeṣam amarṣitam, śvasantam iva nāgendram roṣavisphāritekṣaṇam/āsādya rāmaḥ saumitrim suhrdam bhrātaram priyam, uvācedam sa dhairyeṇa dhārayan sattvam ātmavān/saumitre yo 'bhiṣekārthe mama sambhārasambhramaḥ, abhiṣekanivrttyarthe so 'stu sambhārasambhramaḥ/yasyā madabhiṣekārtham mānasam paritapyate, mātā naḥ sā yathā na syāt saviśankā tathā kuru/ tasyāḥ śaṅkāmayam duḥkham muhūrtam api notsahe, manasi pratisamjātam saumitre 'ham upekṣitum/ na buddhipūrvam nābuddham smarāmīha kadā cana, mātrām vā pitur vāham kṛtam alpam ca vipriyam/ satyaḥ satyābhisamdhaś ca nityam satyaparākramaḥ, paralokabhayād bhīto nirbhayo 'stu pitā mama/ tasyāpi hi bhaved asmin karmaṇy apratisamhrte, satyam neti manastāpas tasya tāpas tapec ca mām/ abhiṣekavidhānam tu tasmāt samhrtya lakṣmaṇa, anvag evāham icchāmi vanam gantum itaḥ punaḥ/ mama pravrājanād adya kṛtakṛtyā nṛpātmajā, sutam bharatam avyagram abhiṣecayitā tataḥ/mayi cīrājinadhare jaṭāmaṇḍaladhāriṇi, gate 'raṇyam ca kaikeyyā bhaviṣyati manaḥsukham/ buddhiḥ praṇītā yeneyam manaś ca susamāhitam, tat tu nārhāmi samkleṣṭum pravrajiṣyāmi māciram/ kṛtāntas tv eva saumitre draṣṭavyo matpravāsane, rājyasya ca vitīrṇasya punar eva nivartane/ kaikeyyāḥ pratipattir hi katham syān mama pīḍane, yadi bhāvo na daivo 'yam krtāntavihito bhavet/ jānāsi hi yathā saumya na mātrsu mamāntaram, bhūtapūrvam viśeso vā tasyā mayi

sute 'pi vā/ so 'bhiṣekanivṛttyarthaiḥ pravāsārthaiś ca durvacaiḥ, ugrair vākyair aham tasyā nānyad daivāt samarthaye/ katham prakṛtisampannā rājaputrī tathāguṇā, brūyāt sā prākṛteva strī matpīḍām bhartṛsamnidhau/ yad acintyam tu tad daivam bhūteṣv api na hanyate, vyaktam mayi ca tasyām ca patito hi viparyayaḥ/ kaś cid daivena saumitre yoddhum utsahate pumān, yasya na grahaṇam kim cit karmaṇo 'nyatra dṛśyate/ sukhaduḥkhe bhayakrodhau lābhālābhau bhavābhavau, yasya kim cit tathābhūtam nanu daivasya karma tat/ vyāhate 'py abhiṣeke me paritāpo na vidyate, tasmād aparitāpaḥ sams tvam apy anuvidhāya mām, pratisamhāraya kṣipram ābhiṣecanikīm kriyām/ na lakṣmaṇāsmin mama rājyavighne; mātā yavīyasy atiśankanīyā, daivābhipannā hi vadanty aniṣṭam; jānāsi daivam ca tathāprabhāvam/

As the Rama Rajyabhisheka was cancelled, Lakshmana was utterly frustrated and disgusted psychologically and was looking like a fumingly mad elephant king with restless and roving eyes. But Shri Rama was cool and composed with self control as though nothing had gone amiss and addressed Lakshmana with no feeling of ill will: 'Lakshmana! Be normal and unfluttered; what all the materials many of which were expensive and rare with studiousness and patience have been collected and acquired for the Rajyabhisheka be please disposed off and instead collect the simple paraphernalia for our journey for settlement into the forests. There should not be any remnants and traces of whatever material and arrangements had been collected and made which Kaikeyi would not have liked be please dismantled and disappeared. I would not like any delay in wiping away the traces of neither the material nor the memories even. She should not be disturbed with sad memories of men and women frantically collecting material and pre arrangements. Lakshmana! I might have offended my mothers or father in the past on some occasions unknowingly or unrealisingly for which I am regretful. Especially, father has been tormented by the fright of death! May that fear be kept far aloof! In case my 'rajyabhisheka' was not stalled and that I have not have proceeded to forests fothwith, then that feeling of death might have been doubled up. Lakshmana! Abhisekavidhānam tu tasmāt samhrtya laksmana, anvag evāham icchāmi vanam gantum itah punah/mama pravrājanād adya kṛtakṛtyā nṛpātmajā, sutam bharatam avyagram abhisecavitā tatah/ It is due to these reasons that I wish to remove traces of my rajyabhisheka and proceed with no further loss of time to the forests. On my exit, may mother Kaikeyi be contented and with the least apprehensions commence Bharata's rajvabhisheka with comfort and peace of mind! As I am shortly dressed up in deer skin and with dishevelled hair with a 'jataajuta' on head, then she should me contented. I do not really disappoint her as she is merely following my fate which Brahma has destined for me. This eventuality must therefore be construed as an act of God only to be reconciled with and obeyed. Other wise how could Kaikeyi have thought of this occurrence! Soumya Lakshmana! Do not you recall the times when I had never realised any feeling of difference of my mother and the other mothers and vice versa too and similarly the sons were affectionate to all the mothers and brothers as a well knit family. But the act of God made the difference of Kaikeyi's mind and used such deplorable language as from a lowly woman while attacking the father. Yad acintyam tu tad daivam bhūtesv api na hanyate, vyaktam mayi ca tasyām ca patito hi viparyayaḥ/ kaś cid daivena saumitre yoddhum utsahate pumān, yasya na grahanam kim cit karmano 'nyatra drśvate/sukhaduhkhe bhayakrodhau lābhālābhau bhayābhayau, yasya kim cit tathābhūtam nanu daivasya karma tat/ As has now happened is what God has willed. None of the Beings on earth or even those in the upper lokas could neither foresee nor stall what has been willed by the directive of Vidhaata and thus prompted Kaikeyi to provoke and influence father. Indeed, when the time arrives for either joy or sorrow, the fruits of the erstwhile 'karma' of a Being beecome irresistible and no force on earth or the universe in totality. Sukha-duhkhas, bhaya-krodhas, utpatti vinaashas are inexplicable as one experiences and are thus the Acts of the Unknown.

[Bhagavad Gita Stanza 56 of Sankhya Yoga is quoted: <u>Duhkeshvanudvignamanaah sukheshu vigataspruhah, veetaraaga bhaya krodhah sthitadheer- muniruchyate/</u>Getting terribly agitated while facing insurmountable impediments and getting extremely overjoyed by very joyous experiences is the negation of an equanimous mind and the ability to neutralise the emotions. One's capacity to neutralise the inner emotions of pleasures and pains alike is the State of 'Sthitapagjnantva'! Sorrows and joys are the consequences of discontent and of success. The vicious circle of discontentment leads to

disappointment which itches on the fear of failure. This creates irritability, fear, anguish, anger, and back to dissatisfaction of life. Sadhakas realise that without Shiva's approval even an ant or insect would not do harm. And 'Shivaagjna' is on account of one's own doings of the previous births and of the ongoing one, besides the estimated future foretellings too. The Karma Sutra explains: *Avashyamanubhoktavyam sthitam karma shubhamashubham*/ or our own 'karma phala' or the sweetness or sourness of the fruit is reciprocated. That firm belief of hope or disappointment as the case that may be, is the 'Atma Swarupa' which certainly not is the body but the Self Consciouness of the concerned body which is clean and transparent and indestructible and eternal.]

Shri Rama thus exhorted Lakshmana: May all the materials and arrangements made for my Rajyabhisheka be expunged and destroyed traceless and never even feel that the root cause of this confusion and chaos is Kaikeyi but an act of the Unknown.

Sarga Twenty Three

Reacting to remove the material for Rajyabhishaka, Lakshmana continued arguing whether the decicision was correct, but Rama once again reiterated that his decision was irrevocable

Iti bruvati rāme tu laksmano 'dhahśirā muhuh, śrutvā madhyam jagāmeva manasā duhkhaharsayoh/ tadā tu baddhvā bhrukuṭīm bhruvor madhye nararṣabha, niśaśvāsa mahāsarpo bilastha iva roṣitaḥ/ tasya dusprativīksvam tad bhrukutīsahitam tadā, babhau kruddhasva simhasva mukhasva sadršam mukham/ agrahas tam vidhunvams tu hastī hastam ivātmanaḥ, tiryag ūrdhvam śarīre ca pātayitvā śirodharām/ agrāksnā vīksamānas tu tirvag bhrātaram abravīt, asthāne sambhramo vasva jāto vai sumahān ayam/ dharmadosaprasangena lokasyānatiśankayā, katham hy etad asambhrāntas tvadvidho vaktum arhati/ yathā daivam aśaundīram śaundīrah ksatriyarsabhah, kim nāma kṛpanam daivam aśaktam abhiśamsasi/ pāpayos te katham nāma tayoh śankā na vidyate, santi dharmopadhāh ślaksnā dharmātman kim na budhyase/ lokavidviṣṭam ārabdhaṁ tvadanyasyābhiṣecanam, yeneyam āgatā dvaidhaṁ tava buddhir mahīpate, sa hi dharmo mama dvesvah prasaṅgād vasva muhvasi/ vadv api pratipattis te daivī cāpi tavor matam, tathāpy upeksanīyam te na me tad api rocate/ viklavo vīryahīno vah sa daiyam anuvartate, vīrāh sambhāvitātmāno na daivam paryupāsate/ daivam puruṣakāreṇa yaḥ samarthaḥ prabādhitum, na daivena vipannārthah purusah so 'vasīdati/ draksyanti tv adva daivasya paurusam purusasya ca, daivamānusayor adva vyaktā vyaktir bhavisyati/ adva matpaurusahatam daivam draksyanti vai janāh, vad daivād āhatam te 'dya drstam rājyābhisecanam/ atyankuśam ivoddāmam gajam madabaloddhatam, pradhāvitam aham daivam paurusena nivartaye/lokapālāh samastās te nādya rāmābhisecanam, na ca kṛtsnās trayo lokā vihanyuḥ kim punaḥ pitā/ yair vivāsas tavāranye mitho rājan samarthitaḥ, aranye te vivatsyanti caturdaśa samās tathā/ aham tadāśām chetsyāmi pitus tasyāś ca yā tava, abhisekavighātena putrarājyāya vartate/ madbalena viruddhāya na syād daivabalam tathā, prabhavişyati duḥkhāya vathogram paurusam mama/ ūrdhvam varsasahasrānte prajāpālyam anantaram, ārvaputrāh karisvanti vanavāsam gate tvayi/ pūrvarājarṣivrttyā hi vanavāso vidhīyate, prajā nikṣipya putreṣu putravat paripālane/ sa ced rājany anekāgre rājyavibhramaśankayā, naivam icchasi dharmātman rājyam rāma tvam ātmani/ pratijāne ca te vīra mā bhūvam vīralokabhāk, rājyam ca tava rakseyam aham veleva sāgaram/ mangalair abhisiñcasva tatra tvam vyāprto bhava, aham eko mahīpālān alam vārayitum balāt/ na śobhārthāv imau bāhū na dhanur bhūsanāya me, nāsirābandhanārthāya na śarāh stambhahetavah/ amitradamanārtham me sarvam etac catustayam, na cāham kāmaye 'tyartham yah syāc chatrur mato mama/ asinā tīkṣṇadhāreṇa vidyuccalitavarcasā, pragṛhītena vai śatrum vajriṇam vā na kalpaye/khadganispeşanispiştair gahanā duścarā ca me, hastyaśvanarahastoruśirobhir bhavitā mahī/ khadgadhārāhatā me 'dya dīpyamānā ivādrayah, patisyanti dvipā bhūmau meghā iva savidyutah/ baddhagodhāngulitrāne pragrhītaśarāsane, katham purusamānī syāt purusānām mayi sthite/bahubhiś caikam atyasyann ekena ca bahūñ janān.viniyoksyāmy aham bānān nṛvājigajamarmasu/ adya me 'straprabhāvasya prabhāvaḥ prabhaviṣyati, rājñaś cāprabhutāṁ kartuṁ prabhutvaṁ ca tava prabho/ adva candanasārasva kevūrāmoksanasva ca. vasūnām ca vimoksasva suhrdām pālanasva ca/ anurūpāv

imau bāhū rāma karma kariṣyataḥ, abhiṣecanavighnasya kartṛṇām te nivāraṇe/ bravīhi ko 'dyaiva mayā viyujyatām; tavāsuhṛt prāṇayaśaḥ suhṛjjanaiḥ, yathā taveyam vasudhā vaśe bhavet; tathaiva mām śādhi tavāsmi kimkaraḥ/ vimṛjya bāṣpam parisāntvya cāsakṛt; sa lakṣmaṇam rāghavavamśavardhanaḥ, uvāca pitrye vacane vyavasthitam; nibodha mām eṣa hi saumya satpathaḥ/

As Rama instructed to remove all the materials and expunge all the traces of the erstwhile proposal of Rama Rajyabhisheka, Lakshmana took to long and heavy breathing with indescribable anguish and fury like a cobra pulled out of its deep outlet and like a lion raged from its cave. He shook his head like a reluctant king of elephants throwing its trunk up, down and sideways and saw Rama's face and said: 'My dear brother! You might be thinking that a section of the public might perhaps be feeling that how could you be a king of virtue in case you defy the instruction of the father. You might also be thinking that in case you might not be following the paternal instruction, others too might follow your example and that in this manner the principle of dharma miht get degraded! You are also talking in terms of 'daivika nirnaya' and taking umbrage under the garb of one's fate on the principle of 'as you sow, so you reap'! Does not this kind of psychology tantamount to escapism and even helplessness. This is another form of 'asamardhata' or lack of courage and assertiveness. Why are we concerned of the likely criticism of sinful sections of the society! Is 'dharma' the reversal of 'nyaya' or of mutual complimentarity! Raghunandana! Why are you of proven background of fame and valour taking umbrage of fate as afterall such beginnings of fate might as well have taken the forms of non strarters! Kindly pardon my inability to follow your unjustifiable instructions! Rama Prabhu! You are being carried away by the instruction of the father under the cover and clothing dress of dharma, and I am still not convinced. Surely you are yourself be of twomindedness and as father himself too should not have been too, but got succumbed equally so as per the misleading interpretation of dharma of which Kaikeyi herself was neither a believer nor a follower. But she took advantage of father's weak mindedness which with equal weakness that you too are following up like a sheep following another! Indeed it is time to get out of this vicious circle. I am still not convinced that father and mother were standing in the way of your Rajyabhisheka owing to 'Daivika Prerana' or the celestial decision and even if you are so convinced, still that would be challenged by me. viklavo vīryahīno yaḥ sa daivam anuvartate, vīrāḥ sambhāvitātmāno na daivam paryupāsate/ Only those who are timid, nervous and apprehensive take the coverage under lucklessness and misfortune but are unable to vindicate with desisive and resolute action. yair vivāsas tavāraņye mitho rājan samarthitaḥ, aranye te vivatsyanti caturdaśa samās tathā/ aham tadāśām chetsyāmi pitus tasyāś ca yā tava, abhisekavighātena putrarājyāya vartate/ madbalena viruddhāya na syād daivabalam tathā, prabhavisyati duhkhāya yathogram paurusam mama/ Rajan! All those who have tricked you away for the fourteen long years of forest life should indeed go and hide themselves likewise. I am prepared to turn Kaikeyi's ambitions to despatch Rama for forest life into ashes. To all those who seek to oppose me, should be subjected to frightful kind of 'pushaartha' and 'daiva bala'in reverse and would not be able to escape my grip! May you assume Kingship now for thousand years and your next generation too should assume further kingship lineage. pratijāne ca te vīra mā bhūvam vīralokabhāk, rājyam ca tava raksevam aham veleva sāgaram/ mangalair abhiṣiñcasva tatra tvam vyāpṛto bhava, aham eko mahīpālān alam vārayitum balāt/Maha Vira Rama! I would take a 'pratigjna' or vow that just as the tides of an ocean would never cross the boundaries, your kingdom too would be saved by me for ever. Therefore, kindly do let me be allowed to retain the materials for your 'rajyabhisheka'. My hands are not merely meant as symbolic brightness nor my dhanush and sword but are truly and genuinely meant for destroy the enemy and once as I am convinced that a person is an enemy, I could never leave without destruction. Once I hold my sparkling sword is lifted up by my arms, it might be presumed as of Indra the 'vajra dhaari' himself. As its mighty punch gets hit, elephants and horses are torn to pieces like thunderous clouds on the sky. Rama! Why do you not insrtuct me here and now, to sift the two categories of your true followers and enemies and remove traces of the latter. Having heard the heated up emotions of Lakshmana as above, Shri Rama reiterated his forceful descisiveness and said: Soumya! Do please understand that I am firm in my resolve to truthfully follow the instructions of my parents as this is the singular path to be followed most assertively.

Sarga Twenty Four

<u>Devi Kousalya</u>, reacting sharply about Rama's decisiveness to undergo Vana Vasa, resolves to follow him, and Rama invoked the argument of her preserving Pativratya and should not desert her husband

Tam samīkṣya tv avahitam pitur nirdeśapālane, kausalyā bāṣpasamruddhā vaco dharmiṣṭham abravīt/ adrstaduhkho dharmātmā sarvabhūtapriyamvadah, mayi jāto dasarathāt katham uñchena vartavet/ yasya bhrtyāś ca dāsāś ca mrstāny annāni bhuñjate, katham sa bhoksyate nātho vane mūlaphalāny ayam/ ka etac chraddadhec chrutvā kasya vā na bhaved bhayam, gunavān dayito rājño rāghavo vad vivāsyate/ tvayā vihīnām iha mām śokāgnir atulo mahān, pradhaksyati yathā kaksam citrabhānur himātyaye/ katham hi dhenuh svam vatsam gacchantam nānugacchati, aham tvānugamisvāmi vatra putra gamisvasi/ tathā nigaditam mātrā tad vākyam puruṣarṣabhaḥ, śrutvā rāmo 'bravīd vākyam mātaram bhṛśa duḥkhitām/ kaikeyyā vañcito rājā mayi cāraṇyam āśrite, bhavatyā ca parityakto na nūnam vartayiṣyati/ bhartuh kila parityāgo nrśamsah kevalam strivāh, sa bhavatyā na kartavyo manasāpi vigarhitah/ yāyaj jīvati kākutsthaḥ pitā me jagatīpatiḥ, śuśrūṣā kriyatām tāvat sa hi dharmaḥ sanātanaḥ/ evam uktā tu rāmeņa kausalyā śubha darśanā, tathety uvāca suprītā rāmam aklistakāriņam/ evam uktas tu vacanam rāmo dharmabhrtām varah, bhūyas tām abravīd vākyam mātaram bhrsaduhkhitām/ mayā caiva bhavatyā ca kartavyam vacanam pituh, rājā bhartā guruh śresthah sarvesām īśvarah prabhuh/ imāni tu mahāranye vihrtya nava pañca ca, varṣāṇi paramaprītaḥ sthāsyāmi vacane tava/ evam uktā priyam putram bāṣpapūrṇānanā tadā, uvāca paramārtā tu kausalyā putravatsalā/ āsām rāma sapatnīnām vastum madhye na me kṣamam, naya mām api kākutstha vanam vanyam mṛgīm yathā, yadi te gamane buddhih krtā pitur apeksayā/ tām tathā rudatīm rāmo rudan vacanam abravīt, jīvantyā hi striyā bhartā daivatam prabhur eva ca, bhavatyā mama caivādya rājā prabhavati prabhuh/bhartuh kila parityāgo nṛśamsah kevalam striyāh, sa bhavatyā na kartavyo manasāpi vigarhitah/ yāvaj jīvati kākutsthah pitā me jagatīpatih, śuśrūsā kriyatām tāvat sa hi dharmah sanātanah/ evam uktā tu rāmena kausalyā śubha darśanā, tathety uvāca suprītā rāmam akliṣṭakāriṇam/ evam uktas tu vacanam rāmo dharmabhṛtām varah, bhūvas tām abravīd vākvam mātaram bhrsaduhkhitām/ mavā caiva bhavatvā ca kartavvam vacanam pituh, rājā bhartā guruh śresthah sarvesām īśvarah prabhuh/ imāni tu mahāranye vihrtya nava pañca ca, varṣāṇi paramaprītaḥ sthāsyāmi vacane tava/ evam uktā priyam putram bāṣpapūrṇānanā tadā, uvāca paramārtā tu kausalyā putravatsalā/āsām rāma sapatnīnām vastum madhye na me ksamam, naya mām api kākutstha vanam vanyam mrgīm yathā, yadi te gamane buddhih krtā pitur apeksayā/ tām tathā rudatīm rāmo rudan vacanam abravīt, jīvantyā hi striyā bhartā daivatam prabhur eva ca, bhavatyā mama caivādya rājā prabhavati prabhuh/ bharatas cāpi dharmātmā sarvabhūtapriyamvadah, bhavatīm anuvarteta sa hi dharmaratah sadā/ yathā mayi tu niṣkrānte putraśokena pārthivah, śramam nāvāpnuyāt kim cid apramattā tathā kuru/ vratopavāsaniratā yā nārī paramottamā, bhartāram nānuvarteta sā ca pāpagatir bhavet/ śuśrūṣam eva kurvīta bhartuḥ priyahite ratā, eṣa dharmaḥ purā dṛṣṭo loke vede śrutaḥ smrtah/ pūjyās te matkrte devi brāhmanās caiva suvratāh, evam kālam pratīksasva mamāgamanakānkṣiṇī/ prāpsyase paramam kāmam mayi pratyāgate sati, yadi dharmabhṛtām śreṣṭho dhārayişyati jīvitam/ evam uktā tu rāmeņa bāşpaparyākulekṣaṇā, kausalyā putraśokārtā rāmam vacanam abravīt, gaccha putra tvam ekāgro bhadram te 'stu sadā vibho/ tathā hi rāmam vanavāsaniścitam; samīksya devī paramena cetasā, uvāca rāmam śubhalaksanam vaco; babhūva ca svastyayanābhikānksinī/

Meanwhile, Devi Kousalya continued her expressions of frustration and anguish with interminal weeping and unclear low voice said: how could I ever survive this shock of life by realising that Rama would have to survive by counting each morsel of uncooked rice, roots and fruits while even servants and maids would be eating well flavored and tasty food each day. Could Maharaja Dasharatha banish for forest life the cynosure of the Kakustha heritage and shake up in the deep sleep of one and all of even the public! Undoubtedly the entire public would be ready to follow Rama to forests voluntarily and with gratitude for ensuring their life safe, happy and with dharma. His popularity comes from the depths of their thoughts and deeds as the ideal most human being. My unbearable anguish is like red hot fire fanned my forceful

winds of helplessness. It is due to my desperation that my heavy breathing too is like a furnace of an irrevocable disaster. katham hi dhenuh svam vatsam gacchantam nānugacchati, aham tvānugamisvāmi yatra putra gamisyasi/Beloved son! As normally a cow takes its steps forward and its calf follows the mother's tail; but in this case, as you proceed I shall follow you footsteps. As Kousalya was crying away her heart out, Rama said: dear mother! Kaikeyi has no doubt brought over this disaster by provoking my helpless father any way. Now, in this way if you too desert him, how indeed could he survive! Bhartuh kila parityāgo nṛśamsaḥ kevalam striyāḥ, sa bhavatyā na kartavyo manasāpi vigarhitaḥ/ yāvaj jīvati kākutsthah pitā me jagatīpatih, śuśrūsā krivatām tāvat sa hi dharmah sanātanah/ Leaving behind a helpless and aged husband would doubtless be the most cruel and heartless act for a woman of virtue. Even a single flash of such thought should be most abhorable and the meanest since that would pave the way of his ruinous disaster! As long as he the the jewel of the Kakutsa Vamsha Maha Raja Dasharatha survives, it is your golden duty to serve that glorious husband of yours. Instantly, Devi acquisced with compliance and got heart broken again. Then Rama exhorted his mother: 'Revered father's instrtuction is an equal duty; more so, he is the King, master of his subjects, peerless guide, our Ishvara and the unquestioned over lord. My dearest mother! As far as I am concerned, I should like to visit and tour the proverbial and massive 'dandakaranya' and return with fame and pride, even as your memories and thoughts are deep rooted in my innermost self always.' As Rama thus assuaged the tormented Devi Kousalya's psyche, he stated further: 'My dearmost mother! do you not realise that on her entire life long, a woman of 'Pativratya' esteem the husband as a Devata and Ishvara, just as I ought to consider both of you as my prized and priceless possessions! As long as the great and celebrated King Dasharatha is alive, never think you are an 'anaatha' or helpless. Further, bharata's cāpi dharmātmā sarvabhūtapriyamvadaļi, bhavatīm anuvarteta sa hi dharmarataḥ sadā/ Bharata too is a 'dharmaatma' or the symbol of dharma and nyaya, who is known for helping each and every individual and be assured of special 'seva' and considered service for you. Be therefore make all your endeavors to keep composed and serve the old father with your personalised service possibly alleviating his mindset too. vratopavāsaniratā yā nārī paramottamā, bhartāram nānuvarteta sā ca pāpagatir bhavet/ śuśrūṣam eva kurvīta bhartuḥ priyahite ratā, eşa dharmaḥ purā dṛṣṭo loke vede śrutaḥ smṛṭaḥ/Indeed you are fully aware mother!From the view point of outstanding stree dharma, maintain the 'vrata-upaasa' routine and attend to the service to husband which surely concretizes the path of heaven and to the contrary pulls down to the 'atho lokas'. Do follow this as a routine and await my return with patience and faith in Almighty. If only the Great King, my dear and most venerable father were to await my return, that should be deemed as my greatest gift of my life! As Rama sought to explain and convince his mother, she made great efforts to stop her incessent cryings and said: My heroic and peerless son of my unique pride! May your 'aranya vaasa' bestow supreme self confidence with epic like success, victory and safe return with such vindication that mankind and mother earth had never witnessed.

Sarga Twenty Five

With great difficulty, Rama finally convinces Kousalya to let him leave for 'vana vaasa'and she relented finally

Saa vineeya tam āyāsam upasprśya jalam śuci, cakāra mātā rāmasya mangalāni manasvinī/ svasti sādhyāś ca viśve ca marutaś ca maharṣayaḥ, svasti dhātā vidhātā ca svasti pūṣā bhago 'ryamā/ rtavaś caiva pakṣāś ca māsāḥ samvatsarāḥ kṣapāḥ, dināni ca muhūrtāś ca svasti kurvantu te sadā/ smṛtir dhṛtiś ca dharmaś ca pāntu tvām putra sarvataḥ, skandaś ca bhagavān devaḥ somaś ca sabrhaspatiḥ/saptarṣayo nāradaś ca te tvām rakṣantu sarvataḥ, nakṣatrāṇi ca sarvāṇi grahāś ca sahadevatāḥ, mahāvanāni carato muniveṣasya dhīmataḥ/ plavagā vṛścikā damśā maśakāś caiva kānane, sarīṣṛpāś ca kīṭāś ca mā bhūvan gahane tava/ mahādvipāś ca simhāś ca vyāghrā ṛkṣāś ca damṣṭriṇaḥ, mahiṣāḥ śṛṅgiṇo raudrā na te druhyantu putraka/ nṛmāmsabhojanā raudrā ye cānye sattvajātayaḥ, mā ca tvām himsiṣuḥ putra mayā sampūjitās tv iha/ āgamās te śivāḥ santu sidhyantu ca parākramāḥ, sarvasampattavo rāma svastimān gaccha putraka/ svasti te 'stv āntariksebhvah pārthivebhvah punah

punaḥ, sarvebhyaś caiva devebhyo ye ca te paripanthinaḥ/ sarvalokaprabhur brahmā bhūtabhartā tatharṣayaḥ, ye ca śeṣāḥ surās te tvām rakṣantu vanavāsinam/ iti mālyaiḥ suragaṇān gandhaiś cāpi yaśasvinī, stutibhiś cānurūpābhir ānarcāyatalocanā/ yan maṅgalam sahasrākṣe sarvadevanamaskṛte, vṛtranāśe samabhavat tat te bhavatu maṅgalam/ yan maṅgalam suparṇasya vinatākalpayat purā, amṛtam prārthayānasya tat te bhavatu maṅgalam/ oṣadhīm cāpi siddhārthām viśalyakaraṇīm śubhām, cakāra rakṣām kausalyā mantrair abhijajāpa ca/ ānamya mūrdhni cāghrāya pariṣvajya yaśasvinī, avadat putra siddhārtho gaccha rāma yathāsukham/ arogam sarvasiddhārtham ayodhyām punar āgatam, paśyāmi tvām sukham vatsa susthitam rājaveśmani/ mayārcitā devagaṇāḥ śivādayo; maharṣayo bhūtamahāsuroragāḥ, abhiprayātasya vanam cirāya te; hitāni kāṅkṣantu diśaś ca rāghava/ itīva cāśrupratipūrṇalocanā; samāpya ca svastyayanam yathāvidhi, pradakṣiṇam caiva cakāra rāghavam; punaḥ punaś cāpi nipīḍya sasvaje/ tathā tu devyā sa kṛtapradakṣiṇo; nipīḍya mātuś caraṇau punaḥ punaḥ, jagāma sītānilayam mahāyaśāḥ; sa rāghavaḥ prajvalitaḥ svayā śriyā/

Then having finally, albeit reluctantly, given permission to Rama to leave for 'vana vaasa', Devi Kousalya accorded 'mangalacharana' as a mark of sending him off with auspiciousness and best blessings and stated: Raghukula bhushana! Now nothing would prevent you from proceeding and keep on treading only on the path of dharma followed by men of high virtue. At the same time, you should always be vigilant and keep safe from risks and dangers. My son, you have all been visiting temples of Deva- Devis and ashramas of Maharshis; may all of them provide security at every moment. May all the 'astrshastra vidyas' so meticulously taught to you by Brahmarshi Vishvamitra provide constant protection to you. May your inborn traits of 'pita-sushrysha'- 'maata seva'- 'satya paalana' provide constant safety. Nara shreshtha! May samidhas-kusha grasaa-pavitris- yagjna vedis-puja mandiras-deva puja related places and temples - parvatas- trees- plants- water bodies- birds- serpents- and lions in the forests too extend protection. May Saandhyas-Vaishva Devas- Marud ganas - and Maharshis be vigilant to accord constant protection and so do Dhata- Vidhata-Pusha-Bhaga-Aryamas. May Indra-Ashta Loka Paalakaas- Shat Ritus- and Kala maana of years-months- days and nights- kshana kshanas provide you auspiciousness. May Shruti- Smriti-and Dharma ensure your well being. To Skanda Deva- Soma-Brihaspati- Saptarshisand Brahmarshi Narada, may I seek Rama's welfare at every minute. My son! May I make appeals to Siddha ganas, ashta dishas, and dik palakas for Rama's protection constantly. My earnest submissions to all the mountains, oceans, Varuna Deva, Dyuloka, Antariksha, Prithivi, Vaayu, charaachara praanis, the entirety of nakshatras, nava grahas, dusks and dawns to grant safety to Rama. May the eternal Kala Devata bestow safety to my son constantly. May he not be concerned even for a minute of any fright or panic from the fearful Rakshasas-Pishachas-and cruel animals. May not the deep jungles infested with lions, tigers, wolves, cunning foxes, poisonous snakes, and even ants and mosquitos give any type of trepidation to my son Rama. Then having pleaded all possible sources of vigil and safety, Devi Koushaya blessed Rama thus: āgamās te śivāh santu sidhyantu ca parākramāh, sarvasampattayo rāma svastimān gaccha putraka/ svasti te 'stv āntarikṣebhyaḥ pārthivebhyaḥ punaḥ, sarvebhyaś caiva devebhyo ye ca te paripanthinah/Dear son! May all the ways and means bestow auspiciouness to you; your intrepidity and treasures of virtue ensure your welfare! My best wishes and blessings to you for your travel and safe return. Swasti to you from the celestials, from earth and thereunder, and even from your enemies. Rama! The 'dandakaranya' that you are about to enter is governed by Shukra-Soma-Surya-Kubera and Yama; may I make sincere appeals to ensure safety, comfortable stay and safe return back to Ayodhya. Similarly, may Agni-Vayu- and Rishis enable Rama to steadfastly remember and recite during his worships, snaanaaachananas and so on'. So stating, Kousalya concluded her pujas, and formally performed the worship of Homagni for invoking various Devas in the presence of Ritviks and Veda Panditas and gave the 'Prasaada' to Rama Lakshmanas, while the latter gave away dakshinas and new clothes to the veda brahmanas. Yan mangalam sahasrākse sarvadevanamaskrte, vrtranāse samabhavat tat te bhavatu mangalam/ yan mangalam suparnasya vinatākalpayat purā, amṛtam prārthayānasya tat te bhavatu mangalam/The according of 'Mangalacharana' in that context was indeed memorable by Devi Koushalya along with the innumerable ritvikas and veda panditas was reminiscentof what Sahasra netra dhari Mahendra's auspicious send off in the context of killing Vritrasura or that of Vinata Devi to her son

<u>Garuda secure</u> 'Amrita'! Subsequently, Devi Koushalya drew dear Rama near to her with love and deep attachment and blessed him again and again and stated to proceed with safe return with suppressed feelings and low-hoarse-shaky and murmuring tone, while Rama with stoic placidity made repeated 'pradakshinas' and 'paada namaskaaraas' repeatedly to mother and proceeded to Devi Sita's 'Mahal'.

[Vishleshanas: 1. on Vritrasura- Dadhiti-Indra - 2. Vinata - Garuda- Amrita: 1) Indra's Court is a masterpiece of the Universe, with Indra as a cynosure, surrounded by several semi-Gods and seated along with him by Sachi Devi, Guru Brihaspati, the Great Guide and Teacher of all the Subjects of the Court was among the Principal Advisor. In this ideal setting unfortunately, Brihaspati felt humiliated by Indra, as due respect to a Spiritual Master was not paid to him as Indra started cutting short and interrupting the Guru often. In course of time, Brihaspati stopped attending the Court. Indra no doubt apologised to the Guru, but the Guru did not relent. Lord Brahma called Indra and reprimanded him for his follies and had to look for an alternative. At the request of Demi-Gods, Brahma then appointed Visvarupa, the son of Diti's daughter Rachana and Prajapati Tvasta. In course of time, Indra got suspicious of the intentions of Visvarupa, the newly appointed Guru of Devatas; although Visvarupa was the son of Prajapati Tvastha, his mother Rachana was the daughter of Diti whose credentials were of Demons. While performing 'Homams'/ 'Yagnas', he was in the habit of reciting the offerings to Fire God meant for Indra, Varuna and other Devatas loudly, but offered 'Ghee' (classified butter) secretly to demons as well. Also, Visvarupa who had three heads, used to consume 'Soma Ras' (Nectar) with one mouth, another with Wine and the third one with food. In a fit of rage, Indra killed Visvarupa, despite the knowledge that killing a Brahmin Priest would attract heavy penalty which was cleared by suitable means eventually.. On learning what Indra did, Tvastha performed high-quality spiritual ceremonies with a view to avenge the death of his son. As a result, a huge, frightful figure emerged from the Fire-pit, who looked like capable of destroying the entire Universe. Tvasta named the giant demon as Vritra, as he was the product of enormous asceticism covering all the planetery systems. The entire army of Devas, headed by Indra, pulled out their collective strength pitted against the one man militia of Vritra to no avail. They had to, in fact, run in different directions in sheer self defence. Finally they made a group prayer to Lord Vishnu for a quick solution as Vritra was growing in power minute by minute. The divine response came that Sage Dadhichi could only help retrieve the ugly situation. The Sage assimilated spiritual knowledge and passed on the same to Asvini Devatas who attained the position of Jeevan Muktha (Liberation in life itself). The Mantras, including Narayana Kavacha was passed on to Prajapati Tvasta who in turn passed it on to his son Visvarupa too. The Narayana Kavacha fortified the body of Sage Dhadhichi and only the backbone of the Sage could help to put an end to Vritra. The Devas thus made a collective prayer to Dadhichi to spare his body for the noble cause of ending Vritrasura. Dadhichi consented and his back- bone was converted into a mighty Thunderbolt by the Divine Architect, Viswakarma. A ferocious battle followed then, when Satya Yuga was ending and Threta Yuga was being ushered in, as the entire force of powerful Demons headed by Vritrasura on one side and the mighty Demi Gods headed by Indra seated on 'Airavatha'- the Heavenly Elephant- fortified in his arms with the thunderbolt made out of Dhadhichi's back bone prepared by Viswakarma. Before using the Thunderbolt, Vritrasura became furious and fought Indra on one to one basis. He tormented and put Indra to shame. He taunted Indra to say that he made the heinous crime of killing a Holy Brahmin, Viswarupa and got away from the sin in a surreptitious manner. He cursed Indra and told that he was a coward and culpable. Without the Thunderbolt he would have been reprehensible. Vritrasura further said 'Almighty in His enormous Wisdom showed the way to kill me to stabilise order in the Universe and that the kind of death which has been awarded to me by Super Force Himself is my reward and not a punishment, as He is the Creator, Preserver and Destroyer and His decision is ultimate.' By so saying Vritrasura invited the Thunderbolt to attain Salvation. Thus ended the memorable story of Vritrasura into the pages of the Great Puranas. When Vritrasura attained 'Moksha', all the Celestial Planets, Demi-Gods, Gandharvas and so on praised his valour, but Indra was the single being who was remorseful as he had the Guilt Complex to have killed two Brahmins, Visvarupa and Vritrasura. Indra's sinful reaction was chased by a feeling that a Chandala woman of old age suffering from untouchable diseases, till Indra ran away to Manas Sarovar, the abode of Goddess Lakshmi. When

Demi-Gods, and Sages advised Indra to attain freedom from the sin to perform the Yagna of Asvamedha or Sacrifice of Horse in Vedic Method then only Indra got absolved of the sin.(Sources: Maha Bhagavata and Devi Bhagavata Puranas)

2: Vinata-Garuda-Amrita: Vinata and Kadru were among the two wives of Kashyapa Muni. Kadru hatched thousands of eggs creating snakes while Vinata hatched only two. Vinata broke one egg and found a child named Aruna but was deformed. Eventually Aruna became the charioteer of Surya Deva. In a mutual bet, Vinata and Kadru out of playfulness; the bet was as to which colour was of Ucchaishrava the celestial horse born during ksheera saagara mathana; Vinata replied that the horse was white but the bet was lost since the horse's tail was black. Vinata lost the bet and became Kadru's servant and served her as also the progeny of snakes. The second son of Vinata named Garuda too was born weak with a beak and wings like an eagle but with the features of a human. As Garuda grew up he noticed that his mother was a slave and did all the domestic work including looking after the snake children. The latter used to tauntingly address Garuda as the son of Vinata and order him to give him rides on the sky. One day, Garuda was ordered by Kadru to take all her snake children to a near by island while Vinata should carry herself. In anger and disgust Garuda carried the snake children too high on the sky and the latter were half burnt by the heat of Surya Deva. Then as the snake kids screamed and Kadru prayed to Indra who instatantly saved them by rain showers. On landing back, Garuda told the serpent kids that he could keep on taking to many islands but on the condition that her mother be freed from the slavery. But Vinata disagreed and asked Garuda to strengthen his body by reaching Himalayas and lifting big tortoises and elephants to eat.Guruda did so and eventually made his body mighty and invincible. One day he found an elephant and tortoises and having lifted them, placed the preys on a srong branch of a huge tree to settle down and eat. But Vakalhilya Sages of miniature sizes hanging down the branch realised that the massive bird could fly them down to an island near by and befriended them by calling it as 'Garuda' or the one who could lift up massive loads. He helped them and they suggested to approach swarga on the high skies to secure amrit for longevity. As Garuda was nearing Swarga, Indra got concerened about the mighty sky and ran to Brihaspati. The latter, having realised the purpose of Garuda to lift amrita drops, alerted all the Devas including Vayu- Varuna- Agni-and so on and even the vairayudha of Indra could not stop Garuda who finally did secure a pot of amrit and desired that his mother be freed from her slavery too. On way back, Vishnu appeared and smilingly offered that he could be his 'vaahana' for ever.!]

Sarga Twenty Six

As Rama left Kousalya with mutual anguish, the Public too was unawere of the tragic developent, much less Devi Sita who was horrified

Abhivādya tu kausalyām rāmaḥ samprasthito vanam, krtasvastyayano mātrā dharmiṣṭhe vartmani sthitaḥ/ virājayan rājasuto rājamārgam narair vrtam, hrdayāny āmamantheva janasya guṇavattayā/ vaidehī cāpi tat sarvam na śuśrāva tapasvinī, tad eva hrdi tasyāś ca yauvarājyābhiṣecanam/ devakāryam sma sā krtvā krtajñā hrṣṭacetanā, abhijñā rājadharmāṇām rājaputram pratīkṣate/ praviveśātha rāmas tu svaveśma suvibhūṣitam, prahrṣṭajanasampūrṇam hriyā kim cid avānmukhaḥ/ atha sītā samutpatya vepamānā ca tam patim, apaśyac chokasamtaptam cintāvyākulilendriyam/ vivarṇavadanam drṣṭvā tam prasvinnam amarṣaṇam, āha duḥkhābhisamtaptā kim idānīm idam prabho/ adya bārhaspataḥ śrīmān yuktaḥ puṣyo na rāghava, procyate brāhmaṇaiḥ prājñaiḥ kena tvam asi durmanāḥ/ na te śataśalākena jalaphenanibhena ca, āvṛtam vadanam valgu chatreṇābhivirājate/ vyajanābhyām ca mukhyābhyām śatapatranibhekṣaṇam, candrahamsaprakāśābhyām vījyate na tavānanam/ vāgmino bandinaś cāpi prahrṣṭās tvam nararṣabha, stuvanto nādya drṣyante maṅgalaiḥ sūtamāgadhāḥ/ na te kṣaudram ca dadhi ca brāhmaṇā vedapāragāḥ, mūrdhni mūrdhāvasiktasya dadhati sma vidhānataḥ/ na tvām prakrtayaḥ sarvā śreṇīmukhyāś ca bhūṣitāḥ, anuvrajitum icchanti paurajāpapadās tathā/ caturbhir vegasampannair hayaiḥ kāñcanabhūṣaṇaiḥ, mukhyaḥ puṣyaratho yuktaḥ kim na gacchati te 'grataḥ/ na hastī cāgrataḥ śrīmāms tava lakṣaṇapūjitaḥ, prayāṇe lakṣyate vīra kṛṣṇameghagiri prabhaḥ/ na ca kāñcanacitram te

paśyāmi priyadarśana, bhadrāsanam puraskrtya yāntam vīrapurahsaram/ abhiseko yadā sajjah kim idānīm idam tava, apūrvo mukhavarnas ca na praharsas ca laksyate/ itīva vilapantīm tām provāca raghunandanah, sīte tatrabhavāms tāta pravrājayati mām vanam/ kule mahati sambhūte dharmajñe dharmacārini, śrnu jānaki yenedam kramenābhyāgatam mama/ rājñā satyapratijñena pitrā daśarathena me, kaikeyvai prītamanasā purā dattau mahāvarau/ tavādva mama saije 'sminn abhiseke nrpodvate pracoditah sa samayo dharmena pratinirjitah/ caturdaśa hi varṣāni vastavyam dandake mayā, pitrā me bharataś cāpi yauvarājye niyojitaḥ, so 'haṁ tvām āgato draṣṭuṁ prasthito vijanaṁ vanam/ bharatasya samīpe te nāham kathyaḥ kadā cana, rddhiyuktā hi puruṣā na sahante parastavam, tasmān na te guṇāḥ kathyā bharatasyāgrato mama/ nāpi tvam tena bhartavyā višesena kadā cana, anukūlatayā šakyam samīpe tasva vartitum/ aham cāpi pratijñām tām guroh samanupālayan, vanam advaiva vāsvāmi sthirā bhava manasvini/ yāte ca mayi kalyāni vanam muninisevitam, vratopavāsaratayā bhavitavyam tvayānaghe/ kālyam utthāya devānām krtvā pūjām yathāvidhi, vanditavyo daśarathah pitā mama nareśvarah/ mātā ca mama kausalyā vrddhā samtāpakaršitā, dharmam evāgratah krtvā tvattah sammānam arhati/vanditavyāś ca te nityam yāḥ śeṣā mama mātaraḥ, snehapraṇayasambhogaiḥ samā hi mama mātarah/ bhrātrputrasamau cāpi drastavyau ca višesatah, tvavā laksmanašatrughnau prānaih priyatarau mama/ vipriyam na ca kartavyam bharatasya kadā cana, sa hi rājā prabhuś caiva deśasya ca kulasya ca/ ārādhitā hi śīlena prayatnaiś copasevitāḥ, rājānaḥ samprasīdanti prakupyanti viparyaye/ aurasān api putrān hi tyajanty ahitakārinah, samarthān sampragrhnanti janān api narādhipāh aham gamisyāmi mahāvanam priye; tvayā hi vastavyam ihaiva bhāmini, yathā vyalīkam kuruse na kasya cit; tathā tvayā kāryam idam vaco mama/

As Rama departed Kouslaya's 'Rani Vaasa' and moved on to the Raja Marga, the public was yet not perhaps fully aware of the impending eventuality; even Devi Sita was not aware but just having completed her puja was planning to complete the finishing touches ahead. As he was entering the 'antahpura' or the inner chamber, Rama was looking profound and ruminating with his chin down. On noticing his entry, Devi Sita stood up and offered a seat. She noticed that his behavior and conduct were not normal. She became a little restless and asked him as to what has the matter. Dharmatma Shri Rama was fighting to control his emotions. She asked as to what could have occurred to disturb his balance. She said that at the arrival of Pushya nakshatra, veda panditas had decided as the muhurta was nearing, and he should be happy and jovial, but why was he feeling abnormal. How is it that the select crowd of 'Vandi magadhas' or professional praisers of Rama's great qualities are yet not around even after his arrival. Why the Ministers, Senapatis, renowned co kings and top officials and prominent citizens have yet not arrived! Why has not the well decorated King of Elephants arrived yet, to carry Rama on the Raja Marga with pomp and show to attract the admiration and celebration of the crowds while the well dressed soldiers lead the procession! Why this situation of queit even worse than the normalcy, let alone a day or two just earlier! Itīva vilapantīm tām provāca raghunandanah, sīte tatrabhavāms tāta pravrājayati mām vanam/ As Sita was agitated likewise, Rama merely said: 'Sita! My revered father is banishing me to Dandakaranya. You belong to the family background of Dharma and as such could readily appreciate the ramifications and implifications of Dharma. Rama then continued to explain briefly that his father has granted two boons to mother Kaikeyi long ago; as the preparations of his rajyabhisheka were in climatic swing, mother Kaikeyi reminded of the two boons and thus tied the King tight and could not be able to wriggle out. Rama then conveyed to Sita as follows: 'Caturdaśa hi varṣāṇi vastavyam daṇḍake mayā, pitrā me bharatas cāpi yauvarājye niyojitah, so 'ham tvām āgato drastum prasthito vijanam vanam/ As such, my father had to necessarily abide by the boons granted to Kaikeyi that I should immediately leave for dandakaranya for a stay of fourteen years and Bharata to be made the Yuva Raja. On my way to the forest life, I have come to convey this news. Please do not praise me before Bharata as he might not bear it. You may not even describe about my qualities even among your intimate friends even . Aham cāpi pratijñām tām guroh samanupālayan, vanam advaiva vāsyāmi sthirā bhava manasvini/ I am now prepared to proceed to dandakaranya to obey my father's instructions and you should be brave and resolute to bear my absence. Indeed you're an ideal wife and hence continue your routine of timely pujas and abstinences being ever devoted to my father and mother Kousalya. To my other mothers too be

devoted equally with affection and intimacy. Bharat and Shatrughna are dear to me as of my own 'praana' and as such you should sustain continued consideration for them. Especially, you ought not to resort to any undesirable thought and action that might be undesirable to them. As I am leaving now, you should bear my absence for now and follow my instructions with faith and compliance dutifully.

Sarga Twenty Seven

Devi pleads her accompanying Rama for the forest life

Evam uktā tu vaidehī priyārhā priyavādinī, praņayād eva samkruddhā bhartāram idam abravīt/ āryaputra pitā mātā bhrātā putras tathā snusā, svāni punyāni bhuñjānāh svam svam bhāgyam upāsate/ bhartur bhāgyam tu bhāryaikā prāpnoti puruṣarṣabha, ataś caivāham ādiṣṭā vane vastavyam ity api/ na pitā nātmajo nātmā na mātā na sakhījanah, iha pretya ca nārīnām patir eko gatih sadā/ yadi tvam prasthito durgam vanam adyaiva rāghava, agratas te gamişyāmi mṛdnantī kuśakaṇṭakān/ īrṣyā roṣau bahiskrtva bhuktasesam ivodakam, nava mām vīra visrabdhah pāpam mavi na vidvate/ prāsādāgrair vimānair vā vaihāyasagatena vā, sarvāvasthāgatā bhartuḥ pādacchāyā viśiṣyate/ anuśiṣṭāsmi mātrā ca pitrā ca vividhāśrayam, nāsmi samprati vaktavyā vartitavyam yathā mayā/ sukham vane nivatsyāmi yathaiva bhavane pituh, acintayantī trīml lokāms cintayantī pativratam/ susrūsamānā te nityam niyatā brahmacārinī, saha ramsye tvayā vīra vanesu madhugandhisu/ tvam hi kartum vane śakto rāma samparipālanam, anyasya pai janasyeha kim punar mama mānada/ phalamūlāśanā nityam bhavisyāmi na samśayaḥ, na te duḥkham kariṣyāmi nivasantī saha tvayā/ icchāmi saritaḥ śailān palvalāni vanāni ca, drastum sarvatra nirbhītā tvayā nāthena dhīmatā/ hamsakārandavākīrnāh padminīh sādhupuspitāh, iccheyam sukhinī draṣṭum tvayā vīreṇa samgatā/ saha tvayā viśālākṣa ramsye paramanandinī, evam varsasahasrānām satam vāham tvayā saha/svarge 'pi ca vinā vāso bhavitā yadi rāghava, tvayā mama naravyāghra nāham tam api rocaye/ aham gamisyāmi vanam sudurgamam; mṛgāyutam vānaravāranair yutam, vane nivatsyāmi yathā pitur gṛhe; tavaiva pādāv upagṛhya sammatā/ ananyabhāvām anuraktacetasam; tvayā viyuktām maranāya niścitām, nayasva mām sādhu kurusva yācanām; na te mayāto gurutā bhavisyati/ tathā bruvānām api dharmayatsalo; na ca sma sītām nrvaro ninīsati, uvāca cainām bahu samnivartane; vane nivāsasva ca duhkhitām prati/

As Rama had conveyed the news of his decision of his imminent departure to dandakaranya, Devi Sita reacted stating that she was rather amused with his decision of leaving her behind and counselling her about the 'do's and dont's' in his absence. She said: 'Arya putra! Each and every father, mother, brother, son, and daughter-in- law would have to reap and experience one's own fate of joy or otherwise. But, it is only the wife that her husband's destiny decides her destiny too. For every married woman it is only the husband that her life gets anchored to either in the ongoing life or there after too, but not her father, mother, son, friends or associates of the family and not even her own body.

[In this context, Manu Smriti is quoted: Pitaarakshati Kaumare Bhartaa rakshati youvane, Putrastu sthaavire bhaave na stree swaatantrya marhati/ Sookshmebhyopi prasangebhyah striyo rakshyaa visheshatah, Dvayorhikulayoh shokamaavahed arakshitaah/ Imam hi sarva varnaanaam pashyanto dharmamuttamam/ (During the 'Kaumara dasha' before wedding, the father takes the responsibility, whereafter the husband and in old age the sons, thus a female is always protected though not independent! Even minute expressions might not offend a female and be safeguarded lest there might be unhappiness in eitherof the families of father and husband, and indeed a female plays a significant yet sensitive role of both the families and hence the need for her balancing act!Manu Smriti also explains further: Naasti streenaam pridhagyanona vratam naapyuposhanam, Patim shushrushate yattutena svarge maheeyate/ Kamavrittevaa gunairvaa parivarnitah, Nastriyah parivarjyasyaat satatam daiva vatpatih/ Sadaa prahvaashtayaa bhavyam grihakaaryech dakshayaa, Susamskrutopaskarayaa vyayechaamuktahastayaa/ (As women have no yagjnas, vratas and such other acts of virtue, they are happy to share such acts along

with their husbands. Notwithstanding the shortcomings of their husbands the wives would do well to with faith to them and concentrate more on their domestic chores with expertise and run the family with wisdom and dedication and be the major force of maintaining peace and happiness home). Further is stated in general: *Karyeshu dasi, Karaneshu manthri; Bhojeshu mata, Shayaneshu rambha; Kshamayeshu dharithri, Roopeshu lakshmi; Satkarma yukta, Kuladharma patni*/ An ideal wife should be like a loyal maid for service; an inteligent adviser; a mother like with affection while feeding food; a romantic-proactive and comforting woman like a damsel; a woman of beauty, charm and richness like Goddess Lakshmi Herself with dedication and humility; and above all be ever forgiving with compassion and ready understanding like Bhudevi Herself!]

Devi Sita continued: yadi tvam prasthito durgam vanam adyaiva rāghava, agratas te gamiṣyāmi mṛdnantī kuśakaṇṭakān/ īrṣyā roṣau bahiṣkṛtya bhuktaśeṣam ivodakam, naya mām vīra viśrabdhaḥ pāpam mayi na vidyate/ Raghu nandana! As you would be now passing through dense forests by hopping and jumping sharp thorns and rocks, then I too would be prepared to do so, in fact, by leading you the path. Therefore, never think jealous of my courage, nor of doubt, nor of 'tyaga' or sacrifice, resignation, desperation and of generosity but as my duty. Therefore, Maha Veera! I am too your Veera Patni! How can you abandon me and for which kind of my grievous blunder that you seek to abandon me! Whether the husband enjoys the fruitful pleasures of living in sky high residences, or travelling in pushpaka vimaanas, or the experiences of 'Ashta Siddhis', a Pati vrata ought to equally take part and share.

[Vishlesana of Ashta Siddhis: or Supernatural Powers are Anima or the ability of miniaturising oneself; Mahima is turning one self giant like; Laghima is the capacity to get oneself unusually light; Garima is to make the Self too gross and heavy; Prapti is to achieve any kind of mental desire; Prakamya or providing fulfillment of other's wishes; Vashitwa or capacity to control any other Party; Ishitwa or fully dominating over others as wished. Among many other Siddhis include Para Kaaya Pravesha or totally entering other's body and even Soul; Doora Shravana or distant hearing, Doora Darshana or Distant Vision or ability to see things or actions any where from other places; Manojavam or reaching a place as fast as a thought as also thought reading; Kamarupa or assuming the physical form of another Being-be it a moving species or an immobile like a mountain etc; Swacchanda Maranam or the gift to die at one's own wish; Deva Saha Kreeda Anudarshanam or the gift to view Deva Devis playing among themselves; Yatha Sankalpa Siddhi or accomplishing any thing by a mere thought; and so on.]

Devi Sita continues: 'My parents had thouroughly trained me about the do's and don'ts and none else to teach me in connection with the present exigency. Aham durgam gamishyaami vanam purushavarjitam, naanaa mriganaakeernam shardulaganasevitam/ Even if several cruel animals like tigers and lions I have determined to enter along with you! I would feel comfortable as though I would reside in my parents house. I would in fact spend my times as if I am experiencing the pleasures of three lokas in your company as which pativrata dharma exists but to reside with you! [Vyasa Maharshi states succinctly: Pativrataatu naaree bhartru shushrushanotsukaa, Natasya vidyate paapam ihaloke paratracha, Pativrataadharmarataa Rudraanyeva na samshayah, Tasyaah paraabhavam kartum shaknoti najanah kashchit/ A pativrata who sincerely serves her husband shall qualify with attainment of her current and ensuing lives and eventually attain the status of a Rudrani or Devi Parvati.]

She continues further: 'Veera! I shoud be able to practice celibacy and keep constant complany with sweet conversation. tvam hi kartum vane śakto rāma samparipālanam, anyasya pai janasyeha kim punar mama mānada/ phalamūlāśanā nityam bhaviṣyāmi na samśayaḥ, na te duḥkham kariṣyāmi nivasantī saha tvayā/ Rama! You have the unique capability to save and safeguard any or all the persons while why can

you not able to protect me! It is my firm decision to follow you, come what may! I am fully prepared and none could stop me. I will give you no trouble whatever; but on the other hand will be of sweet company while sharing the remnant food of roots and fruits. How I wish to fulfill my life long wish of freely visiting water streams and enjoy bathing in them in the company of white and lovely swans, while flying birds sing away and move about right above me! Arya Putra! My great desire is to bathe at your feet in a 'sarovara' and swim joyfully. May such tranquil lives be spent for thousands of years of heavenly times! Believe me if that type of celestial living in your company is available what else is the purport of bliss! Ananyabhāvām anuraktacetasam; tvayā viyuktām maraṇāya niścitām, nayasva mām sādhu kuruṣva yācanām; na te mayāto gurutā bhaviṣyati/ Swami! My heart is so much surfeit with your personality that without you, I would most certainly die of seperation and hence my prostrastions to you to let me accompany you most certainly'. As Devi Sita kept on insisting by invoking 'pativrata dharma'fulfillment of her life's desires and offers of mutual adjustment, and finally the threat of her very life, Rama continued his utmost reluctance and disapproval to let Devi Sita to accompany him to the dandakaranya. Then he described the enrmous tortures, sufferings, and critical predicaments even to strong willed men of heroism, let alone women even with rough and sturdy nature in one's daily life for an unimaginable fourteen arduous years!

Sarga Twenty Eight

Rama dissuades Sita to accompany him for Vana Vaasa due to miseries there

Evam bruvatīm sītām dharmajño dharmavatsalaḥ, nivartanārthe dharmātmā vākyam etad uvāca ha/ sīte mahākulīnāsi dharme ca niratā sadā, ihācara svadharmam tvam mā yathā manasaḥ sukham/ sīte yathā tvām vakṣyāmi tathā kāryam tvayābale, vane doṣā hi bahavo vadatas tān nibodha me/ sīte vimucyatām eṣā vanavāsakṛtā matiḥ, bahudoṣam hi kāntāram vanam ity abhidhīyate/ hitabuddhyā khalu vaco mayaitad abhidhīyate, sadā sukham na jānāmi duḥkham eva sadā vanam/ girinirjharasambhūtā girikandaravāsinām, simhānām ninadā duḥkhāḥ śrotum duḥkham ato vanam/ supyate parṇaśayyāsu svayam bhagnāsu bhūtale, rātriṣu śramakhinnena tasmād duḥkhataram vanam/ upavāsaś ca kartavyā yathāprāṇena maithili, jaṭābhāraś ca kartavyo valkalāmbaradhāriṇā/ atīva vātas timiram bubhukṣā cātra nityaśaḥ, bhayāni ca mahānty atra tato duḥkhataram vanam/ sarīsṛpāś ca bahavo bahurūpāś ca bhāmini, caranti pṛthivīm darpād ato dukhataram vanam/ nadīnilayanāḥ sarpā nadīkuṭilagāminaḥ, tiṣṭhanty āvṛtya panthānam ato duḥkhataram vanam/ patamgā vṛścikāḥ kīṭā damśāś ca maśakaiḥ saha, bādhante nityam abale sarvam duḥkhataram vanam/ drumāḥ kaṇṭakinaś caiva kuśakāśāś ca bhāmini, vane vyākulaśākhāgrās tena duḥkhataram vanam/ tad alam te vanam gatvā kṣamam na hi vanam tava, vimṛśann iha paśyāmi bahudoṣataram vanam/ vanam tu netum na kṛtā matis tadā; babhūva rāmeṇa yadā mahātmanā, na tasya sītā vacanam cakāra tat; tato 'bravīd rāmam idam suduhkhitā/

Even being fully aware of the multi-faceted Dharma, Shri Rama had still not been convinced of Devi Sita following him to the dandakaranya, fully weighing carefully the pros and cons. Devi Sita was agitated with tears overflowing from her eyes. He addressed her saying that he having been born of an excellent family bachground firmly embedded to the prrinciples of dharma should realise the mind of her husband and follow it in the spirit and context of the situation. She was an 'abala' and could never be able to yield to the pressures of the multiple complexities of men and situations. He reiterated that in her own interest she should please abandon the idea. Facing jungle men and equally terrorising cruel animals would pose minute to minute trepidation even to brave warriors in the battles. The walking paths are awfully muddy, hard and forest elephants in groups are prone to splash mud sideways and all over blinding the men and co animals like bears, monkeys and forest donkeys. The entire jungle, which has no path to tread and to follow on prescribed walkways, is full of creepers, bushy grass, and piercing thorns while wild animals keep squeaking heart rending sounds far and just near one's ears. One has to sustain eating fruits fallen

on the ground besides roots, seeds and leaves many of which could be poisonous resulting in instant deaths. Mithilesha Raja Kumari! Keeping upavaasaas as per one's capacity, besides wearing 'jataabhara' hair-do, course 'valkala vastra' or deer skin dress would be your ornaments. Forest dweller humans of cities as normally required to take bath thrice a day would turn each day a nightmare. One needs to be contented by eating what comes a day as per luck. The forests are prone to frightening sweeps of heavy winds, severe cold and shattering rain pours, besides land slides and earthquakes. Most poisonous cobras with raised hoods, fearful hisses and fast swerling coils are of normal tree hanging eventuality, especially in dead nights of utter darkness, while mountainous reptiles normally crawl and hiss on crooked pathways if visible. Abala Sita! Bats, scorpions, swarms of bees and honey bees are but a component of a jungle. Moreover, one has to cut and pierce into thick and endless thorney bushes for entry to make the crooked lanes and byelanes. A few of forest dwellers who survive somehow are ever faced with death before-beside-behind and ahead of them, ever counting their minutes-hours and days ready for all types of eventualities and exigencies with sturdy bodies eating raw meat of animals, fishes, and of even passers by if need be. Dear Sita! You have to toughen your body and more so on total control of desires, anger, passion, irritability; most essentially the ability of overcoming situations of fright, terror and sudden horror. Tad alam te vanam gatvā kṣamam na hi vanam tava, vimṛṣann iha paṣ́yāmi bahudoṣataram vanam/ That precisely why Sita! I have thoroughly visualized any possibility of accompanying with me and you shall never be able to withstand the enormity of the untold travails of doing so. But the ever insistent and never relenting Devi Sita stated as follows.

Sarga Twenty Nine

Sita invokes her 'Paativratya Dharma' and insists

Etat tu vacanam śrutvā sītā rāmasya duḥkhitā, prasaktāśrumukhī mandam idam vacanam abravīt/ ye tvayā kīrtitā doṣā vane vastavyatām prati, guṇān ity eva tān viddhi tava snehapuraskṛtān/ tvayā ca saha gantavyam mayā gurujanājñayā, tvadviyogena me rāma tyaktavyam iha jīvitam/ na ca mām tvatsamīpastham api šaknoti rāghava, surānām īšvarah šakrah pradharsavitum ojasā/ patihīnā tu vā nārī na sā śakṣyati jīvitum, kāmam evamvidham rāma tvayā mama vidarśitam/ atha cāpi mahāprājña brāhmanānām mayā śrutam, purā pitrgrhe satyam vastavyam kila me vane,laksanibhyo dvijātibhyah śrutvāham vacanam grhe, vanavāsakrtotsāhā nityam eva mahābala/ ādeśo vanavāsasya prāptavyah sa mayā kila, sā tvayā saha tatrāham yāsyāmi priya nānyathā/krtādeśā bhavisyāmi gamisyāmi saha tvayā, kālaś cāyam samutpannah satyavāg bhavatu dvijah/ vanavāse hi jānāmi duhkhāni bahudhā kila/ prāpyante niyatam vīra purusair akṛtātmabhih/ kanyayā ca pitur gehe vanavāsah śruto mayā, bhikṣiṇyāh sādhuvṛttāyā mama mātur ihāgratah/ prasāditas ca vai pūrvam tvam vai bahuvidham prabho, gamanam vanavāsasya kānkṣitam hi saha tvayā/kṛtakṣaṇāham bhadram te gamanam prati rāghava, vanavāsasya śūrasya carvā hi mama rocate/śuddhātman premabhāvād dhi bhavisyāmi vikalmasā, bhartāram anugacchantī bhartā hi mama daivatam/ pretyabhāve 'pi kalvānah saṃgamo me saha tyayā, śrutir hi śrūyate puṇyā brāhmaṇānām yaśasvinām/ iha loke ca pitrbhir yā strī yasya mahāmate, adbhir dattā svadharmena pretyabhāve 'pi tasya sā/ evam asmāt svakām nārīm suvṛttām hi pativratām,nābhirocayase netum tvam mām keneha hetunā/ bhaktām pativratām dīnām mām samām sukhaduhkhayoh, netum arhasi kākutstha samānasukhaduhkhinīm/ yadi mām duhkhitām evam vanam netum na cecchasi, visam agnim jalam vāham āsthāsye mṛtyukāranāt/ evam bahuvidham tam sā yācate gamanam prati, nānumene mahābāhus tām netum vijanam vanam/ evam uktā tu sā cintām maithilī samupāgatā, snāpayantīva gām uṣṇair aśrubhir nayanacyutaih/ cintayantīm tathā tām tu nivartayitum ātmavān, krodhāviṣṭām tu vaidehīm kākutstho bahv asāntvayat/

Prananadha! What all the risks and sufferings that you have vividly described to me could be withstood by me in your company. In your magnificent company of nearness and dearness, what all difficulties are required to be faced would be melted away. When none could dare to look at you straight in your eyes,

then of which signifinance are animals and reptiles. Tvayā ca saha gantavyam mayā gurujanājñayā, tvadviyogena me rāma tyaktavyam iha jīvitam/Shri Rama! Carrying the blessings of my Gurus as I do, I have decided to accompany you as otherwise, I have decided finally to end up my very existence. Being along with you, even Devas and even Lord Indra would not be able to change my decisiveness. Shri Rama! No Pativrata could ever bear and suffer the 'vivoga' or prolonged seperation from her husband and would rather end up her life. When I was not married earlier and was extremely mischievous, some of the Brahmanas who were fed up with my naughtiness used to say: 'You will surely live in forests; indeed those casual and flippant remarks have now turned true!' Veera! I am indeed aware that 'vana vaasa' entails all types of problems and endless ordeals and tortures, but that should not be so for those who lack decisiveness of body and mind. In fact, having arrived here after wedding I expressed my fanciful desire for forest life and you had conceded to my desire too, if you please recall. Now, this is the time that I am able to fulfill my desire to accompany you for your service. Shuddhamaana! You are my overlord and here is by opportunity to accompany you to purify all my lifelong blemishes and sins as womanhood after wedding is a boon to serve husband and the singular master and 'pratyaksha devata' or God in ready reality. To follow you even to 'paraloka' bestows auspiciousness and fulfillment. At the time of our wedding, my father took vows by leaving 'pavitra jajaas' or sacred waters on earth that I would belong to you for ever in this life and ever thereafter! Pretyabhāve 'pi kalyāṇaḥ saṃgamo me saha tvayā, śrutir hi śrūyate punyā brāhmanānām yaśasvinām/ Famed Brahmana Vedic Panditas had quoted from Vedas that an auspicious wedding performed with affection and belief assures unity of the husband and wife on earth and in swarga too. Devi Sita continues further: 'I am your 'Dharmapatni', 'Vrata paalaka' and 'Pativrata' and assuredly, I will most certainly follow your footsteps. Kakutsa kula bhushana Rama! I am your staunch devotee, the most ideal 'Pativrata', the forlorn-dejected and desperate Life Patner, the Equal Collaborator of Joys and Difficulties; do very kindly let me accompany you! Yadi mām duḥkhitām evam vanam netum na cecchasi, visam agnim jalam vāham āsthāsye mṛtyukāranāt/ This indeed is my ultimate determination that in case I would not be allowed to accompany you, I will commit suicide by drinking poison, or jump into flames or drown in deep waters. Thus despite innumerable warnings of impending dangers of forest life, Devi Sita kept on crying incessantly and kept on insiting Rama to allow her to accompany him.

Sarga Thirty

Sita sobs heavily and Rama had to finally to concede to accompany him

Sāntvyamānā tu rāmena maithilī janakātmajā,vanavāsanimittāva bhartāram idam abravīt/ sā tam uttamasamvignā sītā vipulavakṣasam, praṇayāc cābhimānāc ca paricikṣepa rāghavam/kim tvāmanyata vaidehaḥ pitā me mithilādhipaḥ, rāma jāmātaram prāpya striyam puruṣavigraham/ anrtam balaloko 'yam ajñānād yad dhi vakṣyati, tejo nāsti param rāme tapatīva divākare/ kim hi kṛtvā viṣaṇṇas tvam kuto vā bhayam asti te, vat parityaktukāmas tvam mām ananyaparāyanām/ dyumatsenasutam vīra satyavantam anuvratām, sāvitrīm iva mām viddhi tvam ātmavaśavartinīm/ na tv aham manasāpy anvam draṣṭāsmi tvadṛte 'nagha, tvayā rāghava gaccheyam yathānyā kulapāmsanī/ svayam tu bhāryām kaumārīm ciram adhyusitām satīm, śailūsa iva mām rāma parebhyo dātum icchasi/ sa mām anādāya vanam na tvam prasthātum arhasi, tapo vā yadi vāranyam svargo vā syāt saha tvayā/ na ca me bhavitā tatra kaś cit pathi pariśramah, prsthatas tava gacchantyā vihāraśayanesv api/ kuśakāśaśaresīkā ye ca kantakino drumāh, tūlājinasamasparśā mārge mama saha tvayā/ mahāvāta samuddhūtam yan mām avakarişyati, rajo ramana tan manye parārdhyam iva candanam/ śādvaleşu yad āsişye vanānte vanagoracā, kuthāstaraṇatalpeṣu kiṁ syāt sukhataraṁ tatah/ patraṁ mūlaṁ phalaṁ yat tvam alpaṁ vā yadi vā bahu, dāsyasi svayam āhrtya tan me 'mrtarasopamam' na mātur na pitus tatra smarisyāmi na veśmanah, ārtavāny upabhuñjānā puspāni ca phalāni ca/ na ca tatra gatah kim cid drastum arhasi vipriyam, matkṛte na ca te śoko na bhavisyāmi durbharā/ yas tvayā saha sa svargo nirayo yas tvayā vinā, iti jānan parām prītim gaccha rāma mayā saha/ atha mām evam avyagrām vanam naiva nayişyasi, vişam advaiva pāsvāmi mā viśam dvisatām vaśam/ paścād api hi duhkhena mama naivāsti jīvitam, ujjhitāvās

tvayā nātha tadaiva maranam varam/ idam hi sahitum śokam muhūrtam api notsahe, kim punar daśavarsāni trīni caikam ca duhkhitā/ iti sā śokasamtaptā vilapya karunam bahu, cukrośa patim āyastā bhṛśam ālingya sasvaram/ sā viddhā bahubhir vākyair digdhair iva gajānganā, cira samniyatam bāṣpam mumocāgnim ivāranih/ tasyāh sphaţikasamkāśam vāri samtāpasambhavam, netrābhyām parisusrāva paḥkajābhyām iyodakam/ tām parisyajya bāhubhyām yisamiñām iya duhkhitām, uyāca yacanam rāmah pariviśvāsayams tadā/ na devi tava duḥkhena svargam apy abhirocaye, na hi me 'sti bhayam kim cit svayambhor iva sarvatah/ tava sarvam abhiprāyam avijñāya śubhānane, vāsam na rocaye 'ranye śaktimān api rakṣaṇe/yat sṛṣṭāsi mayā sārdham vanavāsāya maithili, na vihātum mayā śakyā kīrtir ātmavatā vathā/dharmas tu gajanāsoru sadbhir ācaritah purā, tam cāham anuvarte 'dya yathā sūryam suvarcalā/ eṣa dharmas tu suśroṇi pitur mātuś ca vaśyatā, ataś cājñāṁ vyatikramya nāhaṁ jīvitum utsahe/ sa mām pitā yathā śāsti satyadharmapathe sthitah, tathā vartitum icchāmi sa hi dharmah sanātanah, anugacchasva mām bhīru sahadharmacarī bhava/ brāhmanebhyaś ca ratnāni bhiksukebhyaś ca bhojanam, dehi cāśamsamānebhyah samtvarasva ca māciram/ anukūlam tu sā bhartur jñātvā gamanam ātmanaḥ, kṣipram pramuditā devī dātum evopacakrame/ tataḥ praḥṛṣṭā paripūrṇamānasā; vaśasvinī bhartur aveksva bhāsitam, dhanāni ratnāni ca dātum anganā; pracakrame dharmabhrtām manasvinī/

Devi Sita continued her sobbings with her determination and pressing close to Rama's broad chest continued her sobbings: Shri Rama! When my father got you married to me was it only for bodily sensuousness but not for sharing mental and psychological issues too. My Lord, when you seek to leave me behind, would not the public react that your mental agility and physical energy like that of Surya Deva himself was proved to be a falsehood into timidity! Then how depressed and shameful that I should feel deserted and dejected! Kim hi krtvā viṣaṇṇas tvam kuto vā bhayam asti te, yat parityaktukāmas tvam mām ananyaparāyaṇām/ dyumatsenasutam vīra satyavantam anuvratām, sāvitrīm iva mām viddhi tvam ātmavaśavartinīm/ You are getting afraid of taking me along with you and for which specific, solid and fear of anybody or reason that you wish to abandon me! Just as Maha Pativrata Devi Savitri followed Dyumtsena Kumara Satyavaan's shadow as held by Yama Dharmaraja, I too would most certainly follow you Rama!

[Vishleshana on Devi Savitri- Satyavan- Yama Raja- and Satyavan's Lasting relief:

Sati Savitri an outstanding Pativrata who defied Yama Dharma Raja into conviction!

Matsya Purana describes that in the days of yore, there was a King named Ashwapati of Shaakala Vamsa in Madra Desha (the present SialkotTerritory) who did not secure a son. Being highly devoted to Devi Savitri (Gayatri), he intensified his worship to her and performed a daily 'havan'/ oblation to Agni with white 'Tilas' (Sesame seeds) in the presence of thousand Brahmanas for ten months and finally Devi Savitri appeared to Ashwapati on a Chaturthi day and granted an illustrious daughter to him and queen Malati; the baby was named as Savitri since she was born by the grace of Devi Savitri. The daughter grew into a charming and highly virtuous girl; a chance visit of Brahmarshi Narada to the King and the daughter indicated that her husband would die on a specified day after her wedding. They both indeed were terribly worried about Narada's prophesy but she was married in due course to the son of King Jhumnatsen called Satyavan who was a charismatic prince. But unfortunately the King lost his kingdom as also the eye sight of his and of the wife. Savitri emboldened herself and faced the situation with confidence and performed unreserved and steadfast service to the parents-in-law. At the sametime, she served her husband so much that Narada's prophesy was always ringing in her ears constantly and never allowed the husband even for a while. She also worshipped her Guru and followed each and every advice of his as a word of law. Thus she was worshipping her husband, her parents-in-law and her Guru as much as never in history had performed in the past. As the specific Chaturthi that Narada warned about her

husband's death within a year, she took permission of her blind parents-in-law and her Guru and entered a jungle along with Satyavan and decided to keep her husband the happiest man and spent every moment with him by showing and sharing with him the most memorable beauties of Nature, the waterfalls, the cool waters, the fragrant and colourful flowers and so on. She described that coulpes of hares, crows, lions, monkeys, and deers were all in a state of maddening infatuation and such wonderful experiences tended to extend lives forever! Meanwhile, Satyavan felt like cutting wood from some dry trees but Savitri cautioned that he should not be away from her. In great fun, he said that he would never ever dare to be away from her. Suddenly, Satyavan felt excruciating pain in his head and fell flat. Even while realising as to what was happening, she sensed that some thumb-long figures tied to Satyavan's soul and were ready to draw it towards the Southern direction and visioned that Yama Dharma Raja himself was present there. She screamed with astonishment and closely following Yamaraja sobbed away and said: Sacred Scriptures assured that sincere devotion to mother provided this loka, devotion to father would secure Swarga and devotion to Guru would fetch Brahma loka but of what avail was her sincerity if Scriptures made false promises? Dharma Raja replied: Do not interfere with my duty; indeed the Scriptures were right, the dead soul was a virtuous person and that she too was a real Pativrata, but there was a fixed procedure of terminating a human being as per one's life span which was pre-determined and judgment was given as per norms. Savitri counter argued that for a woman, husband was a Deity and the provider of safety; a father, brother or a son were no doubt the safeguarders but the husband was above all and if he were to be forcibly taken away then she had no other alternative but to immolate her life. Dharma Raja was indeed taken back ar her firmness and smilingly said that such an incidence as this was rare and that he would be pleased to bestow any boon excepting her husband's life. As Savitri took up the opportunity, she requested him to restore the eyesight as also the Kingdom to her in-laws and Dharma Raja readily granted these boons and asked her to go back so that he could perform his duty. He also asked her not to follow further and tire out herself without any aim or useful purpose. Devi Savitri replied that she would never feel tired following great celebrities of the stature of Dharma Raja, even if they were annoyed because only such emblems of Dharma could sift persons of genuineness or other-wise; it was stated in the Scriptures that one should never be afraid of even Agni, poison, and snakes compared to evil persons where as 'Satpurushas' had an inner conscience and even if they were apparently rude and hurtingly outspoken, their basic quality would be outstanding and subject to change of stance since such 'Mahatmas' test the authenticity of other persons being faced. Even normal and impartial Kings and Administrators would tend to examine the realities of those who make requests and a Deity par excellence like Dharma Raja would like to the make sure whether her supplications were pure and straight from the heart or not. That was the reason why Savitri felt untired of following Dharma Raja! Apparrently, Dharma Raja was pleased with the logic of Savitri and replied that without insisting on the life of Satyavaan, she might ask for another boon. She grabbed the opportunity and requested that her parents were not blessed with a son; despite performing countless Sacred deeds and their daily homas in favour of Gayatri / Savitri they succeded on giving birth to a daughter but not a 'Vamsoddhaaraka'. Dharma Raja conceded the second boon too and firmly admonished Savitri to pester further but should return home at once to organise the obsequies of her departed husband. Having secured the second boon from Dharmaraja, Savitri still followed the former and stated that any human being would like to fulfil three essential steps of Dharma, Artha and Kama as the corner-stones of an ideal life. She affirmed: Dharmaarjanam tathaa kaaryam purushena vijaanataa, Tallaabham Sarva laabhebhyo yadaa Daiva viseshatey/ Dharmascha arthascha kaamascha trivargo janmanah phalam, Dharma heenasya kaamaarthey vandhyaa sutasamou Prabho/ Dharmadarthastathaa kaamo Dharmaallokadwayam tathaa, Dharma ekonuyaatyenam yatra

kwachanagaaminam/ Shareerena samam naasham sarvamanya -ddhi gacchati, Ekohi jaayatey jantureka eva vipadyatey/ (Deva! Any Enlightened person seeks to earn Dharma since that secures the best of gains; the objective of life is to fulfil the means of Dharma viz. Artha and Kaama; conversely, wealth and fulfilment of desires alone without Dharma would be wasting one's life. Dharma would certainly fulfil the means to achieve it and could at the same time lead to Salvation too. In the final analysis, a dying person leaves every thing behind except Dharma and a person born does not bring any possessions nor takes anything at death). Dharma Raja was pleased with what Savitri said and asked her a third boon to that outstanding Pativrata who had been fighting for her husband's life. In turn, Savitri asked the boon: Varayaami twayaa dattam putraanaam shatamourasam, Anapatyasya lokeshu gatih kila na vidyatey/ (Deva! I request you to give me the boon of securing hundred sons of my own, since without obtaining sons, there would be no 'Sadgati'to her and husband as parents). Yama Raja then granted this boon also and Savitri commended Dharma as follows: Dharmaadharma vidhaanajna Sarva Dharma Pravartaka, Twameva Jagato naathaha Prajaa samyamaney Yamah/ Karmanaaman -rupena Yasmaad Yamayasey Prajaah, Tasmaad vai proachyasey Deva Yama ityeva naamatah/ Dharmaneymaah Prajaah Sarvaa yasmaad ranjayasey Prabho, Tasmaat tey Dharma raageti naama Sadbhirirnigadyatey/ Sukrutam dushkrutam chobhey Purodhaaya yadaa janaah/ Tatsavakaasham mrutaa yaanti tasmaat twam Mrutyu ruchyatey/ (Dharamaadharma Vidhaataa! You are the highest Administrator of Dharma; since you are the Chief Regulator of Dharma, you are called Yama. As you ensure that human beings do not indulge in Adharma and make them follow the Path of Truth, you are known as *Dharma Raja*. Since when human beings die, you confront them with a full account of their good and bad deeds, and hence you are knwn as Mrityu. As the dead persons are approached by you with the details of each action of theirs by each Kshana/ second, and measure of Kaala or Time, you are called as Kaala. Since you are the designated Authority to terminate the life of each and every 'charaachara' or mobile and immobile being, you are titled Antak. As you are the eldest son of Surya Deva who has the name of Viwasvaan, you carry the name of Vaiwasvata. As and when the life of any being is over, you catch him suddenly and that is why you have another name viz. Sara praanahara. Devesha! Thanks to you the Ruk-Yajur- Sama Vedas continue to popularise the Principles of Virtue and Justice eternally; you are the upkeeper of nobility and discipline the world over and I have come to the shield of safety from you; kindly give back my husband at once as my in-laws too are frantic now for his life. As Savitri concluded her desperate prayers, Dharma Raja asserted that he was giving away Satyavan's life back, that he would secure her hundred sons who would all become famous Kings, that her parents too would be blessed with hundred sons of virtue and that her brother would be popular as Malava, the King of Malva. Thus concludes the Sacred Legend of Maha Saadhvi Savitri: Tasmaad Saadhwyaha Striyah Pujyaah Satatam, Taasaamtu vakyam bhavateeha midhya na jaatu lokeshu charachareshu/Tasmaat sadaa taah pari pujaneeyaah, Kaamaan Samagraanabhi kaamayaanaih/ (Hence women of High Virtue ought to be worshipped since the Three Lokas are preserved due to their grace. The voices of Pativratas should never be ignored as they are worthy of veneration and fulfill their desires].

Devi Sita continued to address Rama: 'Raghunandana! I am certainly not like a fallen woman of shame as I have never ever thought of any other male with even a trace of desire. I have not seen or felt likewise. I was married even as a teen aged Kumari and would wish to live in your exclusive company like a Pativrata for very very long like a 'Sati Saadhvi'. You cannot discard me like a cheap dancing girl who earns livelihood for herself and husband! Shri Rama! You seem to be advising me to stay back and be polite and get controlled by that younger brother of yours viz. Bharata; you might do so yourself but certainly not me, as he was the culprit to thwart your being the legitimate yuva raja! This is another

strong reason for accompanying you Rama! Sa mām anādāya vanam na tvam prasthātum arhasi, tapo vā vadi vāranyam svargo vā syāt saha tvayā/ Hence my decisiveness to go along with you hand in hand, even if I were to perform tapasya like a yogini, or to enter the darkest forests or to attain swarga but together! As a feel luxurious golden swing mattresses under garden umbrellas or rest on your comfortable lap give me the same feeling as striding hard on the worst possible slush or rocks in you blissful company. As and when the gruelling and backbreaking ordeal of walking on thorny bushes and trees is encountered, your comforting company gets me the feeling of walking on cotton and smooth deerskin! If I am banged and even lifted up by sandstorms then I might feel experienced with sandalwod paste in your company. With your comfort again, as I would have sleep in huts under trees, then would feel that in I am rolling in bird- feather like soft cushions. I assure you that I shall not be a burden for you. But being with you I feel I am in heaven and without you, it would be a hell. I am not afraid of vana vaasa but without you it surely be so and then would die sooner than later. Without you I cannot spend even two hours, but how do you expect me to live for fourteen years!' By so saying, Devi broke down into loud and severe weeping by tightly embracing Rama. She then got up and moved about in circles crying away like a sheelephant attacked by poisonous arrows and seeking to jump into severe flames. Then Rama too got terribly agitated with the magnitude and severity of her action and with her both hands pressed her on his chest and said firmly: Na devi tava duḥkhena svargam apy abhirocaye, na hi me 'sti bhayam kim cit svayambhor iva sarvatah/ tava sarvam abhiprāyam avijñāya śubhānane, vāsam na rocaye 'ranye śaktimān api raksane/ Devi! If you do so strongly feel that you would attain 'swarga sukha', that type of happiness too could be discarded by me, but trust me I am afraid of nothing like swayambhu Brahma himself. I am most certainly capable of defending you, but only advised you not to put youself to difficulties. yat sṛṣṭāsi mayā sārdhaṁ vanavāsāya maithili, na vihātuṁ mayā śakyā kīrtir ātmavatā yathā/ dharmas tu gajanāsoru sadbhir ācaritah purā, tam cāham anuvarte 'dya yathā sūryam suvarcalā/In case you are born and destined to suffer and stay with me, but do realise that 'atmajnani purushas' or self awakened men would not hesitate to discard their natural instincts and hence my warnings of impending perils. Several instances could be cited that even Celestials of high standards of virtue had allowed their spouses to follow them as their shadows. Did not Surya Deva allow Suvarchala - Sangjna Devi follow as her shadow! You too may perhaps follow me, even being the great hazards involved!

[Vishleshana on Surya Deva and Sangina Devi:

Bhavishya Purana: It was on 'Saptami'Tithi that Bhagavan Surya made his initial manifestation to the Universe. His original Appearance inside a Holy Egg continued and from there itself, he grew and hence was called 'Martaanda'. He was wedded to the daughter of Daksha Prajapati, called Sanjna, and begot Dharma Raja, Vaivasvata and Yamuna Devi. But since Sanjna was unable to bear the heat and dazzle of Surya Deva, created from her shadow a similar substitute, called Chhaya Devi to proxy her and left for Uttarakuru Desha to perform Tapasya in the form of as a horse. Meanwhile, Chhaya Devi gave birth to Shaneswara and Devi Tapati, but aftersome time, Chhava Devi's partial attitude to her own children and those of Sanina came to be noticed; Yama Dharma pointed out to Chhaya Devi about the differential treatment and in course of the argument, Yama raised his right leg's ankle which was objected to by Chhaya and she gave a curse to Yama that if his feet ankles were placed on Earth they would be eaten by worms! As Dharma Raja complained to Surya Deva, the father assuaged the feelings of his son, who was in fact a specimen of virtue, saying that the 'shaap' of Sandhya Devi was not to be too harmful since, after all, worms might take away the flesh and blood of his ankle to Bhuloka but feet would be in tact any way. Sandhya was frightened and blurted the truth to Surya Deva that Sanjna materialised her to deputise her and the latter left to her father's place; Daksha told Surya Deva that Sanjna could not withstand his heat and had been performing Tapasya in the form of a horse at Uttarakuru. Surya requested Vishwakarma to reduce his heat and radiance and after assuming the forms of a horse approached Sanjna and by the mutual contact of the noses of Surya and Sanjana in horse forms were born Ashvini Kumars and Raivata. Since the Episode of Sanjna and Surya occurred on Sapta Tithi of Magha Shukla Paksha as above, the day is considered as most auspicious to signify the union the Couple.]

Rama continued to soften Devi Sita from her agitation and extreme anguish: He explained once again that he was having to go to dandakaranya only and exclusively due to the decision of the father and 'the' mother and indeed it was his bounden duty having to do so; only his 'puja and aaradhana' was compelling to do so as service to the father-mother-and guru would be the only means of fullfillment of the paramarthas of dharma-artha-kaama-mokshas evidently and that sanatana dharma was the inevitable path of mortal life for salvation. Yet when you are giving me the untimate warning: 'Mama sannaa matih Site netum tvaam dandakaavanam, vaasishyaameeti saa tvam maamanuyaantum sunischitaa/ Saa hidrishtaavadyaangi vanaaya madirekshane, anugacchasva maam bheeru sahadharmachaaree bhava/ Keeping in view your such decisiveness as being even desperate with the threat of your sacrificing the life, my earlier decision appears to be getting diluted! There fore I am now perforce having to relent myself to reluctantly agree to accompany me.' Then Rama asked Sita to initiate earliest action to get ready, by way of discarding her jewellery as donations to 'brahmana strees' and change the dress suitably for the 'yatra'. Then finally having fought her way to make Rama agree as her desire was fulfilled, Devi Sita gave away 'dhana' ot Brahmanas and 'daana' to Brahmanis, with joy and excitement!

Sarga Thirty One

Lakshmana too insists on accompanying Rama- latter agrees; Rama desires of offering charities

Tato 'bravīn mahātejā rāmo laksmaṇam agratah, sthitam prāggāminam vīram yācamānam kṛtāñjalim/ mayādya saha saumitre tvayi gacchati tad vanam, ko bharişyati kausalyām sumitrām vā yaśasvinīm/ abhivarsati kāmair yah parjanyah prthivīm iva, sa kāmapāśaparyasto mahātejā mahīpatih/ sā hi rājyam idam prāpya nṛpasyāśvapateh sutā, duhkhitānām sapatnīnām na karisyati śobhanam/ evam uktas tu rāmena laksmanah ślaksnayā girā, pratyuvāca tadā rāmam vākyajño vākyakovidam/ tavaiva tejasā vīra bharatah pūjayisyati, kausalyām ca sumitrām ca prayato nātra samsayah/ kausalyā bibhṛyād āryā sahasram api madvidhān, yasyāh sahasram grāmāṇām samprāptam upajīvanam/ dhanur ādāya saśaram khanitrapitakādharah, agratas te gamisvāmi panthānam anudarsavan/ āharisvāmi te nitvam mūlāni ca phalāni ca, vanyāni vāni cānyāni svāhārāni tapasvinām/ bhavāms tu saha vaidehyā girisānusu ramsvate, aham sarvam karişyāmi jāgratah svapatas ca te/rāmas tv anena vākyena suprītah pratyuvāca tam, vrajāprcchasva saumitre sarvam eva suhrijanam/ ye ca rājño dadau divye mahātmā varunah svayam, janakasya mahāyajñe dhanusī raudradarsane/ abhedyakavace divye tūnī cāksayasāyakau, ādityavimalau cobhau khadgau hemapariskrtau/ satkrtya nihitam sarvam etad ācāryasadmani, sa tvam āyudham ādāya ksipram āvraja laksmana/ sa suhrjjanam āmantrya vanavāsāya niścitah, iksvākugurum āmantrya jagrāhāyudham uttamam/ tad divyam rājaśārdūlah satkṛtam mālyabhūṣitam, rāmāya darśayām āsa saumitrih sarvam āyudham/ tam uvācātmavān rāmah prītyā laksmaņam āgatam, kāle tvam āgatah saumya kānkṣite mama lakṣmaṇa/ aham pradātum icchāmi yad idam māmakam dhanam, brāhmaṇebhyas tapasvibhyas tvayā saha paramtapa/ vasantīha drdham bhaktyā gurusu dvijasattamāh, tesām api ca me bhūyah sarvesām copajīvinām/ vasisthaputram tu suvajñam ārvam; tvam ānavāśu pravaram dvijānām, abhiprayāsyāmi vanam samastān; abhyarcya śiṣṭān aparān dvijātīn/

As Devi Sita and Shri Rama had been seeking to mutually convince each other, finally the adamant Sita perforce made Rama to agree to let Sita to accompany him to dandakaranya. Even as they were arguing each other, Lakshmana had almost arrived. Then the latter bent down and pressed Rama's tight and addressed Devi Sita that even if thousands of elephants and cruel animals of dandakaranya might chase Sita-Ramas, he would most certainly lead them ahead of the couple ever ready and vigilant up with his 'dhanush'. Along with me, do both of you keep on enjoying the chirrupings of multi coloured birds and the continous buzzing sounds of honey bees. As Rama kept on listening to Lakshmana's assurances, Rama negated the proposal of Lakshmana. The latter stated to Rama: Dear brother! *Anugjnaata tastu bhavataa purvameva yadasyaham, kimidaaneem punarapi kriyate me nivaaranam*/ You had already consented to my proposal to accompany you, but why are changing your mind now! Rama explained:

Dear Lakshmana! You are my true friend, dharma paraayana or the follower- cum - enforcer of dharma, true follower of moral values, and my very 'praana' or the life force undoubtedly. But in my absence, who would look after your mother Devi Sumitra and my mother Devi Kousalya! Maha Raja Dasharatha who had been fulfilling the wishes of each and every body like the rains of the sky on earth so far, but now unfortunately is caught badly in the mesmerising net of Devi Kaikeyi now. He might also be highly disturbed and perhaps guilty in his mind due to my absence. Bharata would in any case be under the total conrol of his mother Kaikeyi. This is why I am having to have second thoughts of you accompanying me. I am overwhelmed with your faith and devotion to me, no doubt. But once you too are absent, it would be to to difficult to imagine the condition of your mother and of mine and neither; they will most certainly be disappointed, discouraged and become psychological wrecks in the course of months and years'. Lakshmana stated: My eldest brother Rama! Why are you presuming that Bharata could turn out as so mean and degraded; would he be so disrespectful and vengeful to the mothers. Rama replied: Most essentially, Bharat would be in the tight grip of Kaikeyi even so as she keeps King Dasharadha as the main force. Lakshmana retorts: Maha Veera Rama! Suppose once having become the King, if Bharata were to take to ill justified paths being self opinionated and arrogant and does not look after the mothers, then I should undoubtedly destroy sarva lokas without doubt. Further Devi Kousalya is capable of safeguarding herself and my mother Devi Sumitra too. They both have the solid backing of thousands of villages as their residents are indebted to them for the well being and ready support to them. Therefore, Kurushva maamanucharam vaidharyam neha vidyate,kritaayoham bhavishyaami tava chaarthah prakalpyate/Therefore, Shri Rama! Let me kindly accompany you. I shall keep holding the dhanush day in and out keep vigil and as you would move forward should be the forward mover ever ensuring that the principles of virtue would never be tampered with. Each and every day, it should be responsibility to bring fruits, vegetables and roots besides 'havan samagri' for your agni karyas. Further, bhavāms tu saha vaidehyā girisānusu ramsyate, aham sarvam karisyāmi jāgratah svapatas ca te/ Even as you and Devi Vaidehi gleefully seek to ascend the mountain tops, I should provide impregnable security cover and perform errands dutifully.' As Lakshmana thus asserted most earnestly and dutifully, Rama was pleased and finally said: 'Sumitranandana! Go now to mother Sumitra and wife besides close admirers and meet them of your decision to accompany Rama Sitas for vana vaasa. Lakshmana! Remember that at the maha vagina performed by King Janaka at Mithila, Varuna Deva himself appeared and gifted to you a fierce looking omni potent dhanush along a 'tuneera' with 'akshya baanaas' and an unbreakable 'kavacha' besides a sun like bright long sword as were kpt at the residence of 'aacharya'. Do please collect all these and after obtaining acharya's blessings bring them too'. Shri Rama further instructed Lakshmana to request 'Suyagjna' the son of Maharshi Vasishtha to meet Rama and return back to him at the earliest.

Sarga Thirty Two

Sita Rama's charity to Vasishtha Kamara Sujyagjna and wife- brahmanas, brahmacharis, servants

Tataḥ śāsanam ājñāya bhrātuḥ śubhataram priyam, gatvā sa praviveśāśu suyajñasya niveśanam/ tam vipram agnyagārastham vanditvā lakṣmaṇo 'bravīt, sakhe 'bhyāgaccha paśya tvam veśma duṣkarakāriṇaḥ/ tataḥ samdhyām upāsyāśu gatvā saumitriṇā saha, juṣṭam tat prāviśal lakṣmyā ramyam rāmaniveśanam/ tam āgatam vedavidam prāñjaliḥ sītayā saha, suyajñam abhicakrāma rāghavo 'gnim ivārcitam/ jātarūpamayair mukhyair aṅgadaiḥ kuṇḍalaiḥ śubhaiḥ, sahema sūtrair maṇibhiḥ keyūrair valayair api/ anyaiś ca ratnair bahubhiḥ kākutsthaḥ pratyapūjayat, suyajñam sa tadovāca rāmaḥ sītāpracoditaḥ/ hāram ca hemasūtram ca bhāryāyai saumya hāraya, raśanām cādhunā sītā dātum icchati te sakhe/ paryaṅkam agryāstaraṇam nānāratnavibhūṣitam, tam apīcchati vaidehī pratiṣṭhāpayitum tvayi/ nāgaḥ śatrum jayo nāma mātulo yam dadau mama, tam te gajasahasreṇa dadāmi dvijapumgava/ ity uktaḥ sa hi rāmeṇa suyajñaḥ pratigrhya tat, rāmalakṣmaṇasītānām prayuyojāśiṣaḥ śivāḥ/ atha bhrātaram avyagram priyam rāmaḥ priyamvadaḥ, saumitrim tam uvācedam brahmeva tridaśeśvaram/ agastyam kauśikam caiva tāv ubhau brāhmaṇottamau, arcayāhūya saumitre ratnaiḥ sasyam ivāmbubhiḥ/ kausalyām ca ya āśīrbhir bhaktaḥ paryupatiṣṭhati, ācāryas taittirīyāṇām abhirūpaś ca vedavit/ tasya

yānam ca dāsīś ca saumitre sampradāpaya, kauśeyāni ca vastrāni yāvat tusyati sa dvijah/ sūtaś citrarathas cāryah sacivah sucirositah, tosayainam mahārhais ca ratnair vastrair dhanais tathā/ śālivāhasahasram ca dve śate bhadrakāms tathā, vyañjanārtham ca saumitre gosahasram upākuru/ tatah sa puruşavyāghras tad dhanam lakşmanah svayam, yathoktam brāhmanendrānām adadād dhanado vathā/ athābravīd bāspakalāms tisthatas copajīvinah, sampradāva bahu dravvam ekaikasvopajīvinah/ lakṣmaṇasya ca yad veśma gṛhaṁ ca yad idaṁ mama, aśūnyaṁ kāryam ekaikaṁ yāvadāgamanaṁ mama/ ity uktvā duḥkhitam sarvam janam tam upajīvinam, uvācedam dhanadhyakṣam dhanam ānīyatām iti, tato 'sya dhanam ājahruh saryam eyopajīvinah/ tatah sa purusayyāghras tad dhanam sahalaksmanah, dvijebhyo bālavrddhebhyaḥ kṛpaṇebhyo 'bhyadāpayat/ tatrāsīt pingalo gārgyas trijato nāma vai dvijaḥ, ā pañcamāyāh kaksyāyā nainam kaś cid avārayat/ sa rājaputram āsādya trijato vākyam abravīt, nirdhano bahuputro 'smi rājaputra mahāyaśah, uñchavṛttir vane nityam pratyaveksasva mām iti/ tam uvāca tato rāmah parihāsasamanvitam, gavām sahasram apy ekam na tu viśrānitam mayā, pariksipasi dandena yāvat tāvad avāpsyasi/ sa śāṭīm tvaritaḥ kaṭyām sambhrāntaḥ pariveṣṭya tām, āvidhya daṇḍam cikṣepa sarvaprānena vegitah/ uvāca ca tato rāmas tam gārgvam abhisāntvavan, manyur na khalu kartavyah parihāso hv avam mama/ tatah sabhārvas trijato mahāmunir; gavām anīkam pratigrhva moditah, yaśobalaprītisukhopabrmhinīs; tad āśiṣaḥ pratyavadan mahātmanaḥ/

As Lakshmana was thus instructed my Rama, Guruputra Suyagina accompanied Lakshmana and while Rama seated with Sita made several 'daanas' to Suyagina. He donated for Suyagina's wife several golden earrings, necklaces, finger rings, bangles and shoulder ornaments. To Suyagina he donated an elephant named Shatrujaya well decorated, as King Janaka gifted to Rama. The mightily pleased Suyagjna blessed Sita Ramas and Lakshmana profusely. Then Lakshmana asked the most revered Agastya and Vishvamitra Maharshis to be welcomed and offered thousand cows, swarna mudras, silverware, and invaluable Nava Ratnas of handful diamonds, pearls, sapphires, corals, rubies, gomedha and vaidurya. Later, Lakshmana directed all possible 'yajur veda taittireeya shakha panditaas' to be donated with horse carts, servants and service maids, silk clothes, thousands of cows, and cash from the royal treasury to therir heart's contentment. Rama further said that some of the katha shakha and kalaapa shakha brahmacharis who had been in constant touch with him as he admired them for their constant 'swaadhyaaya' or recitation of vedas be invited and gifted with eighty camels, handfuls of precious stones from the treasury, thousand bullock carts and several varieties of 'dhanyas'. Likewise, there are groups of 'mekhala dhari brahmacharis' from select 'guru kulaas' who were gifted by me at the instance of my mother as she was extraordinarily contented be also be invited for distribution of appropriate donations.' As per Rama's directives, the 'daanaas' of dhana-dhanya-vastu-vahanaas' were carried out by Lashmana like Kubera himself from the treasury. Then Rama called his personal attendent servants and distributed their wages for fourteen years in advance while stating to them, that they should never feel the absence of Rama Lakshmanas but be contented till their return. Then he commenced distributing ample cash to long winded queues of 'anaadhas' or helpless men-women-and children. Further there were some 'garga gotriya brahmanas' named 'trijatas' at the outskirts of Ayodhya who were truly helpless very elderly and decripits, just barged into the five boundary 'praakaaraas' of Rama's palace despite the resisting soldiers for some succor and livelihood. These were like Bhrigu and Angeera Maharshis and shouted with shaky voices: Nirdhano bahuputrosmi Rajaputra Mahabala, kshatavrittirvane nityam pratya- vekshasva maamiti/ 'Maha bali Raja Kumara, I am hopelessly stricken by abject poverty with a number of children to support, roaming around the nearby forests for some kind of food. My prostrations to you to mercifully provide some food and clothing'. Rama replied: 'I possess countless herds of cows; you may please accept as many cows as my stick once thrown by me'; so saying Rama with his extended 'aajaanu baahu' or long hands upto his ankles threw away the stick! He further said: I am stating this a remark of humor and do not be please get offended; what I am stating is that you would be very happy and contented from hereon! Then Rama readily donated in ample measure for the vidvans to be ever contented!' Dvijah sahrud bhrityajenothavaa tadaa daridra bhikshaacharanascha yo bhavet, na tra kaschit babhuva tarpito yathaarha sammaanana daana sambhramaih/This was how, Rama at that time made sure that none whosoever like brahmana-sahrida-sevaka-daridra- bhikshkaswere left unattended!

Sarga Thirty Three

Sita Rama Lakshmanas visit Kaikeyas's palace to meet Dasharatha as Nagara vaasis weep away

Dattvā tu saha vaidehyā brāhmaņebhyo dhanam bahu, jagmatuḥ pitaram drastum sītayā saha rāghavau/ tatto grhīte duspreksye asobhetām tadāyudhe, mālādāmabhir āsakte sītayā samalamkrte/ tataḥ prāsādaharmyāni yimānaśikharāni ca, adhiruhya janah śrīmān udāsīno vyalokayat/ na hi rathyāh sma śakyante gantum bahujanākulāh, āruhya tasmāt prāsādān dīnāh paśyanti rāghavam/ padātim varjitacchatram rāmam drstvā tadā janāh, ūcur bahuvidhā vācah śokopahatacetasah/ yam yāntam anuyāti sma caturangabalam mahat, tam ekam sītayā sārdham anuyāti sma laksmanah/aiśvaryasya rasajñah san kāminām caiva kāmadah, necchaty evānrtam kartum pitaram dharmagauravāt/ vā na śakyā purā drastum bhūtair ākāśagair api, tām adya sītām paśyanti rājamārgagatā janāh/ aṅgarāgocitām sītām raktacandana sevinīm, varsam usnam ca śītam ca nesvaty āśu vivarnatām/ adya nūnam daśarathah sattvam āviśva bhāsate, na hi rājā privam putram vivāsayitum arhati/nirgunasyāpi putrasyā kātham syād vipravāsanam, kim punar yasya loko 'yam jito vrttena kevalam/ ānrsamsyam anukrosah śrutam śīlam damaḥ śamaḥ, rāghavam śobhayanty ete ṣaḍguṇāḥ puruṣottamam/ tasmāt tasyopaghātena prajāḥ paramapīditāh, audakānīva sattvāni grīsme salilasamksayāt/ pīdayā pīditam sarvam jagad asya jagatpateh, mūlasyevopaghātena yṛksah puspaphalopagah/ te laksmana iya ksipram sapatnyah sahabāndhavāh, gacchantam anugacchāmo yena gacchati rāghavaḥ/ udyānāni parityajya kṣetrāṇi ca grhāni ca, ekaduhkhasukhā rāmam anugacchāma dhārmikam/ samuddhrtanidhānāni paridhvastājirāni ca, upāttadhanadhānyāni hṛtasārāṇi sarvaśah/ rajasābhyavakīrnāni parityaktāni daivataih, asmattyaktāni veśmāni kaikeyī pratipadyatām/ vanam nagaram evāstu vena gacchati rāghavah, asmābhiś ca parityaktam puram sampadyatām vanam/ bilāni damstrinah sarve sānūni mṛgapaksinah, asmattyaktam prapadyantām sevyamānam tyajantu ca/ity evam vividhā vāco nānājanasamīritāh, śuśrāva rāmah śrutvā ca na vicakre 'sya mānasam/ pratīksamāno 'bhijanam tadārtam; anārtarūpah prahasann ivātha, jagāma rāmaḥ pitaram didṛkṣuḥ; pitur nideśam vidhivac cikīrṣuḥ/ tat pūrvam aikṣvākasuto mahātmā; rāmo gamisyan yanam ārtarūpam, yyatisthata preksya tadā sumantram; pitur mahātmā pratihāranārtham/ pitur nidešena tu dharmavatsalo; vanapraveše krtabuddhinišcavah, sa rāghavah prekşya sumantram abravīn; nivedayasvāgamanam nṛpāya me/

Shri Rama along with Devi Sita besides Lakshmana had given away considerable charities and proceeded for King Dasharath's 'darshan'; before doing so, they witnessed the puja preparations made earlier by Sita like the variety of fresh and sweet odoured flowers, and climbed up the seven storied palace with a sense of disappointment and witnessed a sea of surging crowd waiting for Rama, while looking at each other with silence. On descending and entering the foreyard of the palace they encountered innumerable cryings and shouts: Padātim varjitacchatram rāmam drstvā tadā janāh, ūcur bahuvidhā vācah śokopahatacetasah/ yam yāntam anuyāti sma caturangabalam mahat, tam ekam sītayā sārdham anuyāti sma laksmanah/ aiśvarvasya rasajñah san kāminām caiya kāmadah, necchaty eyānrtam kartum pitaram dharmagauravāt/ As Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas commenced walking on the high road, the crowds got surging with heart rending and reverberating sobbings aloud remarking: 'what strange is the sudden twist of destiny that instead of heralding chaturana sena ahead, Rama is leading along with Sita as followed by Lakshmanas walking barefooted on the road! Even as the symbol of 'aishwarya' or opulence, Rama is being humiliated by fate just because he desires to vindicate the fulfillment of his father's prestige and promise! Alas, the celestials flying high on the skies are brought down to roads and bylanes: it is a shame that we are noticing the born princess Devi Sita at street corners. As damsel like Sita who is normally worshipped with luxurious lavishness with the service of sandal paste and sich sweet fragrances is going to be exposed to mid day severity of Sun- ever pouring rains- lashing sand storms- and the severity of icy cold and soon enough an angel would dry up with patchy and dried up grimace! Surely, King Darsaratha of glory and magnanimity must have become a victim of a 'pishaacha' with an unstable mind; otherwise, how could he have banished a symbol of high virtue, especially as he was head over heels infatuated with

Rama! Moreover, even if a son be a worthless and characterless person, how could a father accord such a punishment to a son, and more surprisingly the son would faithfully accept the cruel father's instruction! Aanṛśaṃsyam anukrośaḥ śrutaṁ śīlaṁ damaḥ śamaḥ, rāghavaṁ śobhayanty ete ṣaḍguṇāh purusottamam/ Indeed Narashreshtha Shri Rama is an an outstanding 'purushotthama' or a human being par excellence being an emblem of the six precepts of Dharma viz. soft nature- mercifullness-knowledgecharacter- and self control. It was bad enough to negate Rama Pattabhisheka but far worse to banish him forest life that too for fourteen life! This situation is akin to torture persons who are already out of a dried up water body! This context is reminiscent of the orderly nature of the respectable society that we live in, in the same manner that a huge tree with blooming flowers and well ripend fruits gets most suddenly downed and severed! Mulam hyesha manushyaanaam dharmasaaro mahaadyutih, pushpam phalam cha patram cha shakhaaschaaryetare janaah/ This exemplary Shri Rama is the cornerstone of 'Jagat vyavstha' or the very order of the Society, and is like to severe the order is like demolishing a tree with branches, leaves, flowers and fruits. May we all not follow Rama to the forests, just as Sita and Lakshmana are doing! Let us leave behind our agricultural fields, gardens, houses and follow Rama the exemplary! I should accompany him to share his troubles and tribulations. Let us atonce, dig up what ever 'nidhis' or treasures and belongings that we possess, dhana-dhanyas as stored by us, discard even our pujas, bali vaishvadevas, mantra pathanas, yagjna karyas, mantra pathanas and so on, and follow Rama with joy. May Kaikeyi reign that type of deserted kingdom with freedom and joy! By so doing, the forests would be converted as cities and vice versa. The cruel animals, poisonous serpents and hordes of elephants and several other wild animals and birds would then move away. Then the deserted houses with broken household vessels and discarded furniture by comportably occupied with the well wishers of Devi Kaikeyi with glee. As several agitated voices from the public were heard, Rama was reactionless and proceeded to Kaikeyi's palace and at the entrance, he found Sumantra who was standing crying away. But Rama was as undisturbed as always and asked Sumantra to please inform King Dasharatha of his arrival at his door step.

Sarga Thirty Four

Sita Rama Lakshmanas approach Dasharatha with queens before vana vaasa; the latter swoons and recovers and embraces them and swoons again

Sa rāmapreşitaḥ kṣipram samtāpakaluṣendriyaḥ, praviśya nṛpatim sūto niḥśvasantam dadarśa ha/ ālokya tu mahāprājñah paramākula cetasam, rāmam evānuśocantam sūtah prāñjalir āsadat/ ayam sa purusavyāghra dvāri tisthati te sutah, brāhmanebhyo dhanam dattvā sarvam caivopajīvinām/ sa tvā paśyatu bhadram te rāmaḥ satyaparākramaḥ, sarvān suhṛda āpṛcchya tvām idānīm didṛkṣate/ gamiṣyati mahāraṇyam tam paśya jagatīpate, vṛtam rājaguṇaih sarvair ādityam iva raśmibhih/ sa satyavādī dharmātmā gāmbhīryāt sāgaropamaḥ, ākāśa iva nispanko narendraḥ pratyuvāca tam/ sumantrānaya me dārān ve ke cid iha māmakāh, dāraih parivrtah sarvair drastum icchāmi rāghavam/ so 'ntahpuram atītvaiva strivas tā vākvam abravīt, ārvo hvavati vo rājā gamvatām tatra māciram/sa evam uktāh strivah sarvāḥ sumantreṇa nṛpājñayā, pracakramus tad bhavanam bhartur ājñāya śāsanam/ ardhasaptaśatās tās tu pramadās tāmralocanāh, kausalyām parivāryātha śanair jagmur dhṛtavratāh/ āgatesu ca dāresu samaveksya mahīpatih, uvāca rājā tam sūtam sumantrānaya me sutam/ sa sūto rāmam ādāya laksmanam maithilīm tadā, jagāmābhimukhas tūrnam sakāśam jagatīpateh/ sa rājā putram āyāntam dṛstvā dūrāt kṛtāñjalim, utpapātāsanāt tūrṇam ārtaḥ strījanasamvṛtaḥ/ so 'bhidudrāva vegena rāmam dṛṣṭvā viśām patiḥ, tam asamprāpya duḥkhārtaḥ papāta bhuvi mūrchitaḥ/ tam rāmo 'bhyapātat kṣipram lakṣmaṇaś ca mahārathah, visamjñam iva duḥkhena saśokam nṛpatim tadā/ strīsahasraninādaś ca samjajñe rājaveśmani, hāhā rāmeti sahasā bhūṣaṇadhvanimūrchitaḥ/ tam pariṣvajya bāhubhyām tāv ubhau rāmalaksmanau, paryanke sītayā sārdham rudantah samavesayan/ atha rāmo muhūrtena labdhasamjñam mahīpatim, uvāca prāñjalir bhūtvā śokārnavapariplutam/āprcche tvām mahārāja sarvesām īśvaro 'si naḥ, prasthitam daṇḍakāraṇyam paśya tvam kuśalena mām/ lakṣmaṇam cānujānīhi sītā cānveti mām vanam, kāranair bahubhis tathvair vārvamānau na cecchatah/ anujānīhi sarvān nah śokam utsrjva

mānada, laksmanam mām ca sītām ca prajāpatir iva prajāh/ pratīksamānam avyagram anujñām jagatīpateh, uvāca rarjā sampreksya vanavāsāya rāghavam/ aham rāghava kaikeyyā varadānena mohitaḥ, ayodhyāyās tvam evādya bhava rājā nigrhya mām/ evam ukto nrpatinā rāmo dharmabhṛtām varaḥ, pratyuvācāñjalim kṛtvā pitaram vākyakovidaḥ/ bhavān varṣasahasrāya pṛthivyā nṛpate patiḥ, aham tv aranye vatsvāmi na me kāryam tvayānrtam/ śreyase vrddhaye tāta punarāgamanāya ca, gacchasvāristam avyagraḥ panthānam akutobhayam/ adya tv idānīm rajanīm putra mā gaccha sarvathā, mātaram mām ca sampasyan vasemām adya sarvarīm, tarpitah sarvakāmais tvam svahkāle sādhayisyasi/ atha rāmas tathā śrutvā pitur ārtasva bhāsitam, laksmanena saha bhrātrā dīno vacanam abravīt/ prāpsyāmi yān adya gunān ko me śvastān pradāsyati, apakramanam evātah sarvakāmair aham vrne/ iyam sarāstrā sajanā dhanadhānyasamākulā, mayā visrstā vasudhā bharatāya pradīyatām/ apagacchatu te duhkham mā bhūr bāspapariplutah, na hi ksubhyati durdharsah samudrah saritām patih/ naivāham rājyam iechāmi na sukham na ca maithilīm, tvām aham satyam iechāmi nānṛtam purusarsabha/ puram ca rāṣṭram ca mahī ca kevalā; mayā niṣṛṣṭā bharatāya dīyatām, aham nideśam bhavato 'nupālayan; vanam gamişyāmi cirāya sevitum/ mayā nisrstām bharato mahīm imām; sasailakhandām sapurām sakānanām, śivām susīmām anuśāstu kevalam; tvavā vad uktam nrpate vathāstu tat/ na me tathā pārthiva dhīvate mano; mahatsu kāmeşu na cātmanah priye, yathā nideśe tava śistasammate; vyapaitu duḥkham tava matkṛte 'nagha/ naivāham rājyam icchāmi na sukham na ca maithilīm, tvām aham satyam icchāmi nānṛtam purusarsabha/ puram ca rāstram ca mahī ca kevalā; mayā nisṛstā bharatāya dīyatām, aham nideśam bhavato 'nupālayan; vanam gamisyāmi cirāya sevitum/ phalāni mūlāni ca bhaksayan vane; girīms ca pasyan saritah sarāmsi ca, vanam pravisyaiva vicitrapādapam; sukhī bhavisyāmi tavāstu nirvṛti/ Evam sa Rajaa vyasanaabhipannastaapena duhkhena cha peedyamaanah/, aalingya putram suvinashtasangjno bhumim gato naiva chicheshta kinchit/ Devyah samastaa ruruduh sametaastaam varjiyityaa naradeya patneem, rudan Sumantropi jagaama moorcchaam hahaakritam tatra babhuva sarvaam/

As Shri Rama asked Sumantra to intimate of his arrival, the latter had done so and found King Dasharatha was crestfallen on the ground as Surya Deva was subdued by Rahu Graha bit by bit only ruminating about Rama with deep intensity and anguish. The King was addressed by Sumantra: 'Prithvi naadha! Shri Rama had just concluded the distribution of all his wealth by donating it to Brahmanas, servants, and various persons as the poor, vulnerable and the old. Now, before departure for dandakaranya; if you do kindly consent, may I ask him to meet you. You may like to see him without any prejudice or inhibition. Dasharatha replied: Please ask my queens too to get together at once. As the queens were at attendance, then he asked his sons too. Then entered Rama-Lakshmanas besides Devi Sita.sa rājā putram āyāntam dṛṣtvā dūrāt kṛtāñjalim, utpapātāsanāt tūrnam ārtah strījanasamvṛtah/ so 'bhidudrāva vegena rāmam drstvā viśām patih, tam asamprāpya duḥkhārtaḥ papāta bhuvi mūrchitaḥ/As Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas entered with greetingful folded hands with unease and nervousness, Dasharatha who was surrounded by his queens, stood up totteringly and cried loudly his heart out. Even as he was so desperately crying away, Rama ran up to him to console his father the latter fell down on the floor unconscious. Sita and Lakshmana too ran to the spot with their senses benumbed. As this sudden succession of events took place, there were thousands of maids along with the queens cried out loudly shouting 'Hey Rama! Hey Rama'. Rama -Sita-Lakshmanas together lifted the father on their shoulders and took him and placed on the mattressed cot. While Dashratha gained semi consciousness, Rama uttered with low tone with folded hands: āprcche tvām mahārāja sarvesām īśvaro 'si nah prasthitam dandakāranyam paśya tvam kuśalena mām/ lakṣmaṇam cānujānīhi sītā cānveti mām vanam, kāraṇair bahubhis tathyair vāryamāṇau na cecchatah/ anujānīhi sarvān naḥ śokam utsrjya mānada, lakṣmaṇam mām ca sītām ca prajāpatir iva prajāh/Maha Raja! You are our Deva! I am now leaving for dandakaranya and soliciting you command to do so; do kindly allow us to do so now as Sita and Lakshmana too are accompanying me. I tried my very best to stop for accompanying me but are extremely adamant; just as Sanaka-Sanandana- Sanatana-Sanatkumaras were blessed by his sons by Brahma for their executing rigorous tapsya, do kindly allow us to depart now. King Dasharatha replied: aham rāghava kaikeyyā varadānena mohitaḥ, ayodhyāyās tvam evādva bhava rājā nigrhva mām/ Raghunandana! It was due to the blunderous boon that I gave to

Kaikeyi once upon a time that this most unfortunate exigency has occurred; do kindly kill me and become the King of Ayodhya. Rama replied: Maha Raja! you should most certainly reign the kingdom for thousand years, as I have the least desire to become the King and wish to live in the forests. On the completion of the destined fourteen years of forest life, I should most certainly return and fall at your feet. Then the King stated crying loudly: 'Most unfortunately, I am tied of tightly to the shackles of Truthfulness and simultaneously Kaikeyi has been pressing me to hurry up for your leaving soon. Hence, my best wishes and blessings to you till you return safe with auspiciousness. May not any kind of hurdles or difficulties be faced on way and evertherafter. But I have only one request to you to atleast for a day and night so that I could enjoy your company for a little more time till the morning next! But most unfortunetely, my wife Kaikeyi happens to be a covered up ash around fire. Then Dasharatha then stared at Rama Lakshmanas crying in fits and starts as Rama interrupted the weepings and stated: 'Maha Raja! I have by now given away my 'dhana dhanyas' already and even discarded the residents of the Kingdom and now this belongs to Bharata. Vanavaasa kritaa buddhir na cha medya chalishyati, yastu yuddhai varo dattah Kaikeyyai varadatvaya, deeyataam nikhilenaiva satyastvam bhava paarthiva/ Aham nidesham bhayato yadhouttanu paalayan,chaturdasha samaa yatsye yane yanacharai saha, maa vimarsho vasumatee Bharataaya pradeeyataam/ Rama continued affirming: 'My decision to leave for 'vana vaasa' stands firmly. What ever promise that you gifted to mother Kaikeyi be never negated and vindicated your 'pratigina' most certainly. I will truthfully obey to proceed for fourteen years of rigorous vana vaasa. Give away the kingdom to Bharata; this is the ultimate and resolute decision. Kindly be brave, wipe off your tears and never cry; you are like the deep ocean and should never get perturbed by the flows of lakes and streams! naivāham rājyam icchāmi na sukham na ca maithilīm, tvām aham satyam icchāmi nānrtam purusarsabha/ puram ca rāstram ca mahī ca kevalā; mavā nisrstā bharatāva dīvatām, aham nideśam bhavato 'nupālayan; vanam gamisyāmi cirāya sevitum/ I would not be ever enamored of Kingdoms, pleasures, married life and any such rejoicements including of swarga sukhka and least of all my very life. My singular objective of is Pitru seva and the vindication of my dearmost father's 'pratigina' only.' As Shri Rama asserted, King Dasharatha embraced Rama tightly and fell down to the ground and Devis Koushalya and Sumitra cried out in high pitch and fell in unconsciousness, even as Devi Kaikeyi stood in a stoic manner. The entire Rana Vaasa got alarmed with unprecetented commotion with the loudest reverberations reaching to the high ceilings of the palace.

Sarga Thirty Five

Sumantra's criticizes Kaikeyi as latter justifies

Tato nidhuya sahasaa shiro nihshvasya chaasakrut, paanim paanou vinishpashya dantaan katakataayya cha/ Lochane kopasamrakte varnam purvochitam jahat, kopaabhibhutah sahasaa santaamashumbhaah gatah/ Manah sameekshamaanaascha suuto Dasharasyacha kampamaanniva Kaikeyyaa hridayan vaaksharaah shataih/ Yasyaastva patisyakto Raja Dashrathah svayam, bhartaa sarvasva jajatah sthaavasya charasyacha/ Nahyaakaaryatamam kinchittava deveeha vidyate, patighneem tvaamaham manye kulaghneemapi chaantatah/ Maavamamsthaa Dashratham bhartaaram varadam patim, bharturicchhaa hinaareenaa putrakotyaa visheshyate/ Yathaa vayo hiraajyaani praapnuvanti nripakshaye, Ikshvaakukula naathesmimstam lopayitumicchhaasi/ Rajaa bhavatu te putro Bharatah shaastu medineem, vayam tatra gamishyaamo yatra Ramo gamishyati/ Na cha te vishya kaschid braahmano vastumarhati, taadrusham tvayamaryaadimadya karma kaarishyasi, nuunam sarce gamishyaamo maargam raamanishevitam/ Aascharyaamiva pashyaami yaastate vrittameedrusham, aachaarantyaa na vidrutaa sadyo bhavati medinee/ Iti saanveshca teekshanaischa Kaikeeyeem Raaja samsadi, bhuyah sankshobhayaamaasa Sumantrastu kritaanjalih/ Naiva saa kshubhyate Dedvee na cha smapariduyate, na chaasyaa mukha varnasya lakshyate vikriyaa tadaa/

On recovery from his stupor, Sumantra stood up with extreme agitation and anger, took long and heavy breathing, displaying raised wrists, gnashing his teeth on his lips, commenced his lashing angry and livid remarks attacking Kaikeyi. Having prefaced his remarks stating that King Dashratha was her betrayed husband, her King and the boon bestower, he said: 'how dare you that you have insinuated, insulted, and abused with low and mean mindedness! You have brought the Ikshvaku vamsha from glorious heights to deep and murky drenches. The entire public of the Kingdom would most certainly follow Rama to the forests and desert this place to a 'smashana' and then you and your Bharata could reign over the desert. No brahmana, and not even a self respecting human could be held back even by force. I wonder that as you have most consciously and wantonly perpetrated this type of heinous and inhuman act, how is it that there should not be repetitive earth quakes at once. How indeed that Maha Brahmarshis have not yet reacted with irrecoverable curses subjecting a demoness like you to turn into flames and ashes as you have dared to uproot the 'maha vriksha' of the symbol of virtue like Dasharatha and the Emblem of Sacrifice like the singular practioner of Pitru vaakya paalana like Rama!'As Sumantra kept on grilling with such unbearable insults and insinuations as also hurling abuses, the shameless Kaikeyi was least perturbed betraying neither restlessness nor sense of shame, muchless of remorse!

Sarga Thirty Six

Dasaharatha asks Sumantra to carry some treasure for initial phase of vana vaasa

Tatah sumantram aiksvākah pīdito 'tra pratijñayā, sabāspam atinihśvasya jagādedam punah punah/ sūta ratnasusampūrņā caturvidhabalā camūh, rāgavasyānuyātrārtham kṣipram pratividhīyatām/rūpājīvā ca śālinyo vanijaś ca mahādhanāh , śobhayantu kumārasya vāhinīm suprasāritāh/ ye cainam upajīvanti ramate yaiś ca vīryataḥ, teṣām bahuvidham dattvā tān apy atra niyojaya/ nighnan mṛgān kuñjarāmś ca pibamś cāranyakam madhu, nadīś ca vividhāh paśvan na rājyam samsmarisyati/ dhānyakośaś ca vah kaś cid dhanakośaś ca māmakah, tau rāmam anugacchetām vasantam nirjane vane/ yajan punyesu deśesu visrjam's cāptadaksināh, rsibhis ca samāgamva pravatsvati sukham vane/ bharatas ca mahābāhur ayodhyām pālayisyati, sarvakāmaih punah śrīmān rāmah samsādhyatām iti/ evam bruvati kākutsthe kaikeyyā bhayam āgatam, mukham cāpy agamāc cheṣam svaraś cāpi nyarudhyata/ sā viṣaṇṇā ca samtrastā kaikeyī vākyam abravīt, rājyam gatajanam sādho pītamandām surām iva, nirāsvādyatamam śūnyam bharato nābhipatsyate/ kaikeyyām muktalajjāyām vadantyām atidārunam, rājā daśaratho vākyam uvācāyatalocanām, vahantam kim tudasi mām niyujya dhuri māhite/ kaikevī dviguņam kruddhā rājānam idam abravīt, tavaiva vamse sagaro įvestham putram upārudhat, asamañja iti khyātam tathāyam gantum arhati/ evam ukto dhig ity eva rājā daśaratho 'bravīt, vrīḍitaś ca janaḥ sarvaḥ sā ca tan nāvabudhyata/tatra vṛddho mahāmātrah siddhārtho nāma nāmataḥ śucir bahumato rājñaḥ kaikeyīm idam abravīt/ asamañjo grhītvā tu krīditah pathi dārakān, sarayvāh praksipann apsu ramate tena durmatih/ tam dṛṣṭvā nāgarah sarve kruddhā rājānam abruvan, asamañjam vṛṣīṇvaikam asmān vā rāstravardhana/ tān uvāca tato rājā kimnimittam idam bhayam, tāś cāpi rājñā sampṛstā vākyam prakṛtayo 'bruvan/ krīditas tv esa nah putrān bālān udbhrāntacetanah, sarayvām prakṣipan maurkhyād atulām prītim aśnute/ sa tāsām vacanam śrutvā prakṛtīnām narādhipa, tam tatyājāhitam putram tāsām priyacikīrsayā/ ity evam atyajad rājā sagaro vai sudhārmikah, rāmah kim akarot pāpam venaivam uparudhyate/ śrutvā tu siddhārthavaco rājā śrāntatarasvanaḥ, śokopahatayā vācā kaikeyīm idam abravīt/ anuvrajisyāmy aham adya rāmam; rājyam parityajya sukham dhanam ca, sahaiva rājñā bharatena ca tvam; yathā sukham bhunkṣva cirāya rājyam/

Maha Raja Dasharatha was a passive witness of the uncontrollable anger and anguish of Sumantra so strongly expressed against Kaikeyi, and having breathed heavily asked Sumantra to instruct the 'charuranga balas' of foot soldiers, cavalry, elephantry and military to follow the departing trio of Sita-Rama-Lakshmanas. He further instructed that he should like to organise yagjna karyaas in the forests and there should not be any deficiency of treasury and 'anna bhandaar' or plentiful food material! He emphasised that Shri Rama be appropriately sent of without any feeling of discontentment. As the King gave such instructions of liberalism by way of Rama's comforting supplies to be sent, Kaiyeyi intervened saying that already a lot of liberalism was showered on the departing trio and on his return, Bharata might not like such undesirable charities to the 'departing heros'! As Kaikeyi made such unfortunate and heinous remarks, King Dasharatha shouted at Kaikeyi: 'Anarthe! Why are you persistently torturing me with your excruciating and ghastly remarks. Why did you not tell me even earlier that you get alarmed if I would like to send some sena to see off till the departure of the heros and some food and money for 'deva karyas' of yagjnas there after! In reply to what the King said, Kaikeyi replied equally haughtily: Maha Raja! I wish to follow the example of your ancestor Sagara Chakravarti had shut the doors of his empire to his eldest son Asamanjasa and sent him off without consideration and any backing!

[Vishleshana on Sagara Chakravarti and his son Asamanjasa:

Sagara Chakravarti of Ayodhya in the remote past whose Dharmapatni was Keshini of Vidarbha Desha who too was a Satyavaadini. His second wife was named Sumati, the daughter of Arishtanemi Kashyapa and the sister of Garuda Deva. Sagara Chakravarti performed tapasya in the Himalaya Range along with his wives atop on the Bhriguprastravana Shikhara. After a century long tapsya, Maharshi Bhrigu blessed the Chakravati that he would be famed in the entire universe till eternity and blessed him with several sons; he affirmed that one of the queens would beget a single son and another with sixty thousand sons. The King was overwhelmed with the boon of the Maharshi and politely enquired as to which of the Queens would beget only a single but famed 'vamshoddhaaraka' son; in turn the Maharshi asked the spouses about their individual preferences. Then the highly enthusiastic younger wife Sumati the brother of Garuda relplied that she would prefer strong sons of collective might and fame like Garuda himself, but Devi Keshini opted for a son like her Emporer husband, an outstanding example of virtue and justice with grit to sustain the Vamsha. Sagara and wives then prostrated and returned to the capital of the Empire. After a lapse of months, Devi Keshini gave birth to 'Asamanjasa' and Devi Sumati gave birth to a huge pot from which emerged sixty thousand sons of strengh and brightness. Right from birth, this son turned out to be evil. The word Asamanjasa means imbalanced or improper. Since the son was full of evil nature, he came to be known as Asamanjasa. As years rolled on, the Charavarty became a renowned father of an army-like sons of supremacy and command. Asamanajasa used to collect youngsters of the empire to compete in swimming and enjoy himself vicariuosly and the parents kept on complaining to Sagara. At first, Sagara ignored the misdeeds of his sons. He tended to dismiss them as juvenile exuberance. But Asamanjasa and his brothers continued to do as they pleased. They disrupted the performances of yajnas and oppressed religious people. They appropriated for themselves the offerings that were made to gods at sacrifices. Apsaras were abducted by these evil princes. They also stole flower from the divine parijata tree. Drinking was their favourite pastime, together with robbery and theft. Finally Sagara Chakravarti banished Asamanjasa from the Empire. The forlorn Sagara decided to perform Ashvamedha Yagina. But Indra and Devas began to plot so as to devise ways for bringing about the destruction of the evil sons of Sagara. There was a Sage named Kapila who was devoted to Vishnu and was so powerful that he was like the great Vishnu himself. Kapila had an ashrama in the Patala Lokas

Indra and Devas prayed to Kapila to deliver the world from Sagara's evil sons. The Sacrifice Horse was launched and released under the supervision of Maharathi Amshuman the renowned 'dhanurdhara' and the famed son of Asamanjasa. But the Sacrifice Horse disappeared suddenly as was robbed away by Mahendra Himself. Since the launched Horse was missing, the Ritviks felt that it was not a good omen and that somebody appeared to have stolen and the robber be chased fast to recover it. Then presiding over the Yagina, the Chakravarti commanded the sixty thousand mighty Sagara Putras to chase the thief atonce. He further ordered that even if they would have to go round the earth, they ought not return emply handed without the Sacrificial Horse. The Chakravari declared that he would stay put firmly along with the Ritviks and Amshuman. The mighty sixty thousand strong Sagara Putras divided the territories of earth and left in grand groups and pierced earth with their swords and trishulas so fiercely that bhudevi looked to have wept with excruciating pain. In the process, the entire earth all over' jambu dwipa' was dug up deep upside down as there were alarms of humans, animals and birds attracting the attention of celestials too as though there were repetitive and alarming earthquakes. The rattled celestials like Gandharvaas, as also Asuras, and Maha Sarpas from the earth down under being alarmed approached Brahma Deva and complained: Bhagavan prthivī sarvā khanyate sagarātmajaih, bahavaś ca mahātmāno vadhyante jalacāriṇaḥ/ ayam yajñahano 'smākam anenāśvo 'panīyate, iti te sarvabhūtāni nighnanti sagarātmajah/ Brahma Deva! Sagara Chakravarti's sixty thousand strong sons of extraordinary physical prowess have broken down hells on earth and are digging earth deep under on the plea of searching for 'Yagnaashva' of Sagara's 'maha yagjnya' and as a result earth had been dug up deep and entered the 'paatala lokas' too in a manner that the natives of earth and the nether lokas too are being decimated mercilessly and hence we are frightened being on the fringes of death! As the Sagara Kumaras continued the digging of Rasaatala for the missing Sacrificial Horse, Bhagavan Vishnu in the form of Kapila Maharshi reddened his eyes while the mighty Sagara Putras were engrossed in the unilateral task of digging again and again. They finally found the Sagara Chakravartis Yagnyaashva just near around the Maharshi. asmākam tvam hi turagam yajñiyam hrtavān asi, durmedhas tvam hi samprāptān viddhi nah sagarātmajān/ śrutvā tad vacanam tesām kapilo raghunandana, rosena mahatāvisto humkāram akarot tadā/ tatas tenāprameyena kapilena mahātmanā, bhasmarāśīkṛtāḥ sarve kākutstha sagarātmajāḥ/ As soon as hardworking Sagara Putras cited the 'Yagnaashva' grazing in the vicinity of a Maharshi, they started shouting with anger with pent up emotions of frustrations for several days and nights stating 'you the wicked Maharshi! how dare you had hidden the Sacrificial Horse here as it had been grazing grass coolly here; now we the mighty have arrived; be it well realised that we are the mighty sons of the almighty Chakravarti Sagara himself! The Maharshi on hearing the braggings of Sagara Kumaras made a 'humkaara' in raging fury and the totality of the sixty thousand valiant force were burnt to ashes. Meanwhile Sagara wondered as to what might have happened to the Sagara Putras and the Sacrificial Horse as it was a long time that they departed. Then Amshuman volunteered to depart and find out about the position of his uncles. Chakavarti alerted the grandson to be very vigilant as he might encounter potent and enemic elements all the way and hence should be well armed with swords and archery. He further alerted that some persons of cunningness and misleadings might also be faced and such persons would need to be killed mercilessly. Thus having accorded an auspicious farewell Amshuman entered Rasatala came across Diggaja Virupakshaand the former prostrated and the diggaja who blessingly indicated that he would return soon with the Yagjnaashva. Amshuman no doubt secured the Yagnaashva but was horrified to see the huge heaps of human ashes laid on the long streches on land. Amshuman realised that the entire Sagara sena was no more and started crying away for long. Then he found the 'Yagnyashva' moving nearby. Amshuman then desired to greet the ashes and looked for any water

reserves nearby and searched a lot. Looking up at the high skies, he being equipped with the ability to vision far and high, spotted the Pakshi Raja Garuda who was the uncle of Sagara Putras as Devi Vinata the wife of Kashyapa begot Garuda the Vishnu vahana and Aruna the charioteer of the eka chakra of Surva Deva. Garuda Deva flew down and consoled Amshuman not to cry much as what all had happened was all for Loka Kalyana in the times ahead. Garuda Deva further stated that Maharshi Kapila being Vishnu himself had turned Sagara Putras for a purpose and hence it was not proper to perform 'jalaanjali' for the departed ones. He further stated that 'tarpanas' to the departed ones might as well be performed with the sacred waters of Ganga; Garuda aaserted to Amshuman: Gangā himavato jyesthā duhitā purusarsabha, bhasmarāśīkrtān etān pāvayel lokapāvanī/ tayā klinnam idam bhasma gangayā lokakāntayā, şaṣṭim putrasahasrāṇi svargalokam nayiṣyati/ Narashreshtha! Himavan's elder daughter Devi Ganga be brought down to bhuloka from her celestial abode. Garuda further advised to return back to the Kingdom along with the Sacrificial Horse for the time being. On return King Sagara heard as to what all happened from Amnshuman especially about the imperative of inviting the celestial lokas down to earth and relieve the Souls of the Sagara Kumaras. King Sagara then dutifully performed the Maha Ashva medha yagjna and after ruling the kingdom for thirty thousand years passed away peacefully. Consequent upon the death of Sagara Chakravarti, the entire public of the Kingdom unanimously chose Amshumaan as the King. Thereafter the illustrious Amshuman having ruled over the kingdom for ever thirty thousand years, departed for tapasya on the heights of Himalayas and thereafter reached swarja loka. Meanwhile King Amshuman's son Dilip who subsequently became the King recalled that that Chakravarti Sagara's famed sons who were his ancestors could not attain salvation yet due to the reason of Maha Garuda's directive that only the flows of Sacred Ganga could redeem. King Dilip kept on wondering through out his life as to how to bring down from the skies; meanwhile he was blessed with a son as named Bhagiratha who even from childhood outstanding traits of Dharma and what was more interesting was of grit and determination. The King Dilip who too proved himself as a King of virtuosity lived for thirty thousand years having well sustained the traditional values of Kingship established by the immemorial Sagara Chakrayarti himself, even as planning ambitiously as to how best to bring Devi Ganga down to earth and at the end was welcomed into Imndra Loka. As Bhagiratha assumed Kingship, it looked that all the celesials came down and witnessed the royal ceremonies. He ruled the Kingdom strictly on the basis of the well established precepts of Dharma and Nyaya for good number of years but as there was no further progeny forthcoming for long, the divine duty of bringing Ganga down to earth became intense day after day and having determined so entrusted the responsibility of Kingship to his Ministers and retired to severe tapasya at the Punya kshetra Gokarna. His life's mission was to bring Ganges down to Earth from Heavens. Bhagiradha's prayers were indeed granted by Mother Ganges to the devotee but warned him that the force of the flow from the Heavens to Earth could be withstood by no less than Lord Siva Himself! Bhagiradha never stopped his grand endeavour and worshipped Lord Siva with ausretity and purity who agreed, not only because of the sincerity with which the devotee desired to fulfill the long-standing family wish but also owing to the reason of Universal advantage. The Lord assumed a massive body and controlled the force of the River flowing from Lord Vishnu's feet and bore the brunt of the impact on His head in His 'Jatajut' or twisted hairs and released but a portion of the Holy River. Bhagiradha directed the fiery flow by riding a fast Chariot and brought it to the place where the ashes of his forefathers were purified and their souls liberated to Heavens. Till date, humanity continues to be grateful to him for the ever lasting memory of his gigantic efforts in our reaping the fruits of his labour in the huge land-mass covering entire 'Aryavarta' (Northern India)!.]

Thus having most unfortunetely comparing Shri Rama's punishment to a fourteen year long living in 'dandakaranya' with Sagara Chakravarti's banishing the evil son Asamanjasa, the blatantly unashamed Kaikeyi confronted King Dasharatha who got shocked and bewildered with this comparison as the on lookers in the Inner Palace were upset and dazed too. Dasharatha's Prime Minister Siddhartha at once reacted agitatedly and explained the damaging comparison of Shri Rama and Asamanjasa! Asamañjo gṛhītvā tu krīḍitaḥ pathi dārakān, sarayvāḥ prakṣipann apsu ramate tena durmatiḥ/ tam dṛṣṭvā nāgaraḥ sarve kruddhā rājānam abruvan, asamañjam vṛṣīṇvaikam asmān vā rāṣṭravardhana/ tān uvāca tato rājā kimnimittam idam bhayam, tāś cāpi rājñā sampṛṣṭā vākyam prakṛtayo 'bruvan/ krīḍitas tv eṣa naḥ putrān bālān udbhrāntacetanaḥ, sarayvām prakṣipan maurkhyād atulām prītim aśnute/ sa tāsām vacanam śrutvā prakṛtīnām narādhipa, tam tatyājāhitam putram tāsām priyacikīrsayā/ ity evam atyajad rājā sagaro vai sudhārmikah, rāmah kim akarot pāpam yenaivam uparudhyate/ He expained in detail to Kaikeyi: 'Devi! Asamanja was an evil minded Raja Kumara who used to collect playful boys on streets and threw in to the Sayayu River for vicarious glee! The highly agitated heads of the public in the city were repeatedly requesting the Chakravarti to save them from the mischievous deeds and escapades of the Prince and his menacing followers. Then Sagara finally decided to get rid of the evil minded Asamanjasa and asked his soldiers to provide him adequate food and sustenance of money and pack him and followers banishing further entry into the empire. Then Asamanjasa and a few followers had to save themselves staying in mountain caves and sustain by eating roots, leaves and wild tree fruits. But, which evil path indeed that Rama had taken to and for which unimaginable deeds of mischief that he should deserve to be banned out of the Kingdom! Nahi kinchana pashyaamo Raghavasyaagunam vayam, durlabho hyaasya nirayah Shassaankasyeva kalamasham! One indeed could ever see critically even a spot of blemish in Rama like what one could see as of Shukla paksha dwiteeya chandra!' The Prime Minister then challenged Kaikeyi and warned her form 'Loka Ninda' or Public Hatred!' As Siddhardha thus reprimanded Kaikeyi, King Dashartha addressed her: 'Paapini the worst ever sinner!Do'nt you have that much of commonsense of comparing Asamanjasa and Shri Rama! You are surely on the way of stupidity and insanity! Now, I cannot tolerate any further and am leaving along with Rama the icon of perfection.

Sarga Thirty Seven

Rama Lakshmans dressed up in valkala vastras but Maharshi Vasishtha rejects Sita wearing that dress

Mahāmātravacaḥ śrutvā rāmo daśarathaṁ tadā, anvabhāṣata vākyaṁ tu vinayajño vinītavat/
tyaktabhogasya me rājan vane vanyena jīvataḥ kiṁ kāryam anuyātreṇa tyaktasaṅgasya sarvataḥ/ yo hi
dattvā dvipaśreṣṭhaṁ kakṣyāyāṁ kurute manaḥ, rajjusnehena kiṁ tasya tyajataḥ kuñjarottamam/ tathā
mama satāṁ śreṣṭha kiṁ dhvajinyā jagatpate, sarvāṇy evānujānāmi cīrāṇy evānayantu me/
khanitrapiṭake chobhe mamānayata gacchataḥ, caturdaśa vane vāsaṁ varṣāṇi vasato mama/ atha cīrāṇi
kaikeyī svayam āḥṛtya rāghavam, uvāca paridhatsveti janaughe nirapatrapā/ sa cīre puruṣavyāghraḥ
kaikeyyāḥ pratigṛhya te, sūkṣmavastram avakṣipya munivastrāṇy avasta ha/ lakṣmaṇaś cāpi tatraiva
vihāya vasane śubhe, tāpasāc chādane caiva jagrāha pitur agrataḥ/ athātmaparidhānārthaṁ sītā
kauśeyavāsinī, samīkṣya cīraṁ saṁtrastā pṛṣatī vāgurām iva/ sā vyapatrapamāṇeva pratigṛhya ca
durmanāḥ, gandharvarājapratimaṁ bhartāram idam abravīt, kathaṁ nu cīraṁ badhnanti munayo
vanavāsinaḥ/ kṛtvā kaṇṭhe ca sā cīram ekam ādāya pāṇinā, tasthau hy akuṣalā tatra vrīḍitā janakātmaja/
tasyās tat kṣipram āgamya rāmo dharmabhṛtāṁ varaḥ, cīraṁ babandha sītāyāḥ kauśeyasyopari svayam/

Reacting what the Priminister of the Kingdom had explained to Kaikeyi, King Dasharatha stated that hereby he would be discarding the Kingship as he too should get readied to accompany Rama to the forest life. He remarked: 'Of which avail to me of the army and its headship as now onward I too should

sustain myself with roots and forest fruits. As an elephant king gets tied with iron shackles, I too would now be freed from them to move about freely now onward. Then the Prime Minister too sounded likewise and asked the servant maids of Kaikeyi to bring for him too 'valkala vastras'. Then, surprisingly Kaikeyi herself brought several the deer skins to Shri Rama most insultingly and said with raised tone: alright! Wear them! Then the obedient Rama had accepted by stretching both of his hands and having changed his princely attire to that of hermit's dress of deer skins in public gaze! Similarly, Lakshmana too discarded his princely dress and did what Rama did. Then Devi Sita readied herself to accept with shivering hands the 'cheera vastras' from Kaikeyi and having broken into unstoppable tears in her lotus eyes and with wet nose, looked at them staringly with sense of shame and timidity. With intermittent pauses, she extended both her hands even as Kaikeyi shoved the skins into Sita's palms with a forceful push. Sita then discarded her soft and scented silk robes and asked Rama: Nadha! Do you know as to how do the forest women wear the deer skins! As Rama helped her, she made efforts to change over with shame, helplessness and frustration and stood beside her husband obediently. As she was doing so the servant maids cried away loudly wondering at the twists of fate from born princess to a jungle woman! Some of the elder servant maids who knew Rama as a boy, addressed him cryingly: Rama! How come the princess could transform as a forest lass! Maharshi Vasishtha too witnessed the ugliest scene with overflowing tears in his eyes especially as Devi Sita was proving herself as Maha Pativrata and shouted on Kaikeyi: Na gantavyam vanam Devyaa Seetayaa sheela varjite, anushthaasyati Raamasya Sitaa prakritamaasanam/ Atmaa hi daaraah sarveshaam daara angrahavartinaam, aatmeyamiti Raamasya paalayishyati medineem/ 'Durbuddhi Kaikeyi! Are you not the unique blunder of the Universe! Devi Sita should never be destined to experience forest life and instead be seated on a high throne of queenship. The entirety of woomanhood is half of her physique and consciousness and as such the very Soul of Rama as the sigular queen of the universe!' The Maharshi further shouted on Kaikeyi: Ekasya Raamasya vane nivaasastvayaa vrittah kaikeya raaja putri! Vibhushitayam prati karmanitvayaa vasatvaranye saha Raghavena/ 'Kaikeyi! you demanded Rama's 'vana vaasa' only, but not for Sita. But Sita has to be the queen and that of course possible with Rama as the King!'

Sargas Thirty Eight

Dasharatha too rejects Sita wearing Valka vastras even as Kaikeyi was unhappy, but Rama approves

Tasyām cīram vasānāyām nāthavatyām anāthavat, pracukrośa janaḥ sarvo dhik tvām daśaratham tv iti/ sa niḥśvasyoṣṇam aikṣvākas tām bhāryām idam abravīt, kaikeyi kuśacīreṇa na sītā gantum arhati/ nanu paryāptam etat te pāpe rāmavivāsanam, kim ebhiḥ kṛpaṇair bhūyaḥ pātakair api te kṛtaih/ evam bruvantam pitaram rāmaḥ samprasthito vanam, avākśirasam āsīnam idam vacanam abravīt/ iyam dhārmika kausalyā mama mātā yaśasvinī, vṛddhā cākṣudraśīlā ca na ca tvām devagarhite/ mayā vihīnām varada prapannām śokasāgaram,adṛṣṭapūrvavyasanām bhūyaḥ sammantum arhasi/ imām mahendropamajātagarbhiṇīm; tathā vidhātum janamīm mamārhasi, yathā vanasthe mayi śokakarśitā; na jīvitam nyasya yamakṣayam vrajet/

Maharshi Vasishtha had then very angrily shouted on King Dasharatha that Devi Sita had come to the state of assuming the 'Cheera Vastras' as an 'anaadha' or a desolate or rejected woman even being a Queen; He howled and wept stating: Shame on you as a King of Glory! You have sacrificed your entire life as a valiant, brave and proud Maha Raja, upholding the supreme principles of Dharma and Fame. Then the angry Maharshi shouted on Kaikeyi: 'Is it appropriate that Devi Sita is forced to dress up as a forest woman'! *Iyam hi kasyaapi karoti kinchit tapasvini Raja vasasya putree, yaa cheeramaasadya*

janasya madhye sthitaa visanginaa shramaneeva kaachit! As Vasishtha scolded the King, tha latter in turn further addressed Kaikeyi: 'In which unkindly manner that you handed over and forced this Dharma patni Sita to dare and to wear the 'mriga charmas'!; which kind of vengeance is that which is justified by any stretch of imagination! Cheeraanyapaasvaajjanakasya kanyaa neyam pratigjnaa mama dattapurvaa, yathaa sukham gacchhatu Rajaputree yanam samagraa saha sarvatratraih/ Kaikeyi! You seemed to have forced to remove her royal dress and commanded her to go to forests only this specific manner as you had taken a vow to do so! You had threatened that you would not be alive but did that have any impact of Devi Sita's dress code! Which kind of heinous vengeance is this against an innocent Sita simply due to her bring the wife of Rama! Raamena yadi te paape kinchitkritamashobhanam, apakaarah ka iha te Vaidehyaa darshitothame/ Oh miserable fallen woman! In case Rama had done any harm to you or your intererest to you, then it might have behaved like as you had, but in which manner are you justified to have done what all you have had!' As the King was blasting away Devi Kaikeyi, Shri Rama intervened: 'Dharmatma! Dear father! My mother Devi Kousalya has too come of age; her mind set is quite virtuous and broad visioned and all through her life and she had never negated your instructions. Even as she is unable to withstand my absence for long, you ought to be sensitive enough to take care of your good health and longevity too. That is precisely why you should maintain calmness without excessive anger and frustration. This is my earnest request, before our depature for 'dandakaranya'.

Sarga Thirty Nine

<u>Dasharatha breaks into cryings, Sunantra arrives with the chariot, Sita receives 'pati seva upadesha' from Kousalya, Rama Sita Lakshmanas bid farewell to all.</u>

Rāmasya tu vacah śrutvā munivesadharam ca tam, samīksya saha bhāryābhī rājā vigatacetanah/ nainam duhkhena samtaptah pratyavaiksata rāghavam, na cainam abhisampreksya pratyabhāsata durmanāh/ sa muhūrtam ivāsamjño duhkhitaś ca mahīpatih, vilalāpa mahābāhū rāmam evānucintayan/ manye khalu mayā pūrvam vivatsā bahavah kṛtāḥ, prāṇino himsitā vāpi tasmād idam upasthitam/ na tv evānāgate kāle dehāc cyayati jīvitam, kaikeyvā kliśyamānasya mrtyur mama na vidyate/ yo 'ham pāvakasamkāśam paśyāmi puratah sthitam, yihāya yasane sūksme tāpasācchādam ātmajam/ ekasyāh khalu kaikeyyāh krte 'yam kliśyate janaḥ, svārthe prayatamānāyāḥ samśritya nikṛtim tv imām/ evam uktvā tu vacanam bāspena pihiteksnaha, rāmeti sakrd evoktvā vyāhartum na śaśāka ha/ samjñām tu pratilabhyaiva muhūrtāt sa mahīpatih, netrābhyām aśrupūrnābhyām sumantram idam abravīt/ aupavāhyam ratham vuktvā tvam āyāhi hayottamaih, prāpayainam mahābhāgam ito janapadāt param/ evam manye gunavatām gunānām phalam ucyate, pitrā mātrā ca yat sādhur vīro nirvāsyate vanam/ rājño vacanam ājñāya sumantraḥ śīghravikramaḥ, yojayitvāyayau tatra ratham aśvair alamkṛtam/ tam ratham rājaputrāya sūtah kanakabhūşitam, ācacakṣe 'ñjalim krtvā yuktam paramavājibhiḥ/ rājā satvaram āhūya vyāpṛtam vittasamcaye, uvāca deśakālajño niścitam sarvatah śuci/vāsāmsi ca mahārhāṇi bhūṣaṇāni varāni ca, varsāny etāni samkhyāya vaidehyāh ksipram ānaya/ narendrenaiyam uktas tu gatvā kośagrham tatah, prāvacchat sarvam āhrtva sītāvai ksipram eva tat/ sā sujātā sujātāni vaidehī prasthitā vanam, bhūṣayām āsa gātrāṇi tair vicitrair vibhūṣaṇaiḥ/ vyarājayata vaidehī veśma tat suvibhūṣitā, udyato 'mśumatah kāle kham prabheva vivasvatah/ tām bhujābhyām parisvajya śvaśrūr vacanam abravīt, anācarantīm krpanam mūdhny upāghrāya maithilīm/asatyah sarvaloke 'smin satatam satkrtāh priyaih,bhartāram nānumanyante vinipātagatam striyah/ sa tvayā nāvamantavyah putrah pravrājito mama, tava daivatam astv eṣa nirdhanaḥ sadhano 'pi vā/ vijñāya vacanaṁ sītā tasyā dharmārthasamhitam, kṛtāñjalir uvācedam śvaśrūm abhimukhe sthitā/ kariṣye sarvam evāham āryā yad anuśāsti mām, abhijñāsmi yathā bhartur vartitavyam śrutam ca me/ na mām asajjanenāryā samānayitum arhati, dharmād vicalitum nāham alam candrād iva prabhā/ nātantrī vādyate vīṇā nācakro vartate rathah, nāpatih sukham edhate yā syād api śatātmajā/ mitam dadāti hi pitā mitam mātā mitam sutah, amitasya hi dātāram bhartāram kā na pūjayet/ sāham evamgatā śresthā śrutadharmaparāvarā, ārye kim avamanyeyam strīṇām bhartā hi daivatam/ sītāyā vacanam śrutvā kausalyā hṛdayamgamam, śuddhasattyā mumocāśru sahasā duhkhaharsajam/ tām prāñjalir abhikramya mātrmadhye 'tisatkrtām

rāmaḥ paramadharmajño mātaram vākyam abravīt/ amba mā duḥkhitā bhūs tvam paśya tvam pitaram mama, kṣayo hi vanavāsasya kṣipram eva bhaviṣyati/ suptāyās te gamiṣyanti navavarṣāṇi pañca ca, sā samagram iha prāptam mām drakṣyasi suhṛdvṛtam/ etāvad abhinītārtham uktvā sa jananīm vacaḥ, trayaḥ śataśatārdhā hi dadarśāvekṣya mātaraḥ/ tāś cāpi sa tathaivārtā mātṛr daśarathātmajaḥ, dharmayuktam idam vākyam nijagāda kṛtāñjaliḥ/ samvāsāt paruṣam kim cid ajñānād vāpi yat kṛtam, tan me samanujānīta sarvāś cāmantrayāmi vaḥ/ jajñe 'tha tāsām samnādaḥ krauñcīnām iva niḥsvanah, mānavendrasya bhāryāṇām evam vadati rāghave/ murajapaṇavameghaghoṣavad; daśarathaveśma babhūva yat purā, vilapita paridevanākulam; vyasanagatam tad abhūt suduḥkhitam/

As Rama thus requested his father to take very special care of his mother and of his own health with least possible mental tension of his own too, Dasharatha could not even speak nor even see properly due to excessive tears flowing blurring his vision. For a while he looked lost of his memory but quickly enough recovered and mumbled: 'perhaps, in by previous life I might have killed countless 'praanis' and forcibly resorted to separation of cows from their calves. As my time of death had not taken place yet, I am having to suffer at the hands of Kaikevi. Alas, even as my dear sons of Fire like purity are before me clad with deer skins instead of silk garments of dazzing brighness, my vital energy is still ticking.' Then Dasharatha with his stilled senses could barely utter: 'hey Ram' and relapsed into a heavy swoon lost conciousness and could not utter a word. After a while however he was able to accost Sumantra instructing in a kind of sign-language to take Rama upto the boundaries of Ayodhya. In his mind however, Dasharatha was able to think on the memory screen: Evam manye gunavatām gunānām phalam ucyate, pitrā mātrā ca yat sādhur vīro nirvāsyate vanam/ As one's own eldest son of outstanding virtue and character is forcibly sent away from one's own house by the parents, then the same type of retribution of justice gets awarded, as per Shastras. Meanwhile, Sarathi Sumantra announced to the King that a prize chariot with top ranking white horses was readied up. Then the King called for the 'Koshaadhaari', or the Chief Treasurer and instructed that Devi Sita's body wise precious jewellery be got ready in the chariot. Meanwhile Devi Kousalya hugged her daughter-in- law tightly and was hardly able to say in feeble tone: asatyah sarvaloke 'smin satatam satkṛtāḥ priyaiḥ bhartāram nānumanyante vinipātagatam striyaḥ/ My dearest daughter! Those women who having secured respect and pleasure from her husbands but discard them in difficult times are termed as 'Asatis' or of tainted family environment. Such women are multi faced and of multiple moods. Saadhveenaam tu sthitaanaam tu sheele satye shrute sthite, streenaam pavitram paramam patireko visheshyate/ Sa tvayaa naavamantavyah purah pravraajito vanam, tava deva samastvesha nirdhanah sadhanopivaa/ But, women of high family background of upbringing, truthfulness, virtue, and the directives of Shastra tend to turn them as 'pativratas'. Devi Sita readily aborbed the intent and connotation of what her mother-in-law counselled and replied: Mother! I will most certainly practise what you have counselled especially about the pattern of behaviot towards my husband, as this indeed had been a counselling of the yore. Just as the 'Prabha' or the Shine and Coolness would never be away from Chandra, a Pativrata could never be distinct from her husband and that precisely is the essence of loyal wife in the timings of cool rains or thunders. nātantrī vādvate vīnā nācakro vartate rathaḥ, nāpatiḥ sukham edhate yā syād api śatātmajā/ The musical instrument of Veena would not be sounded without 'tantri' nor a chariot could move without a charioteer; a woman might produce hundred children but might not yield true contentment to her husband. Mitam dadāti hi pitā mitam mātā mitam sutaḥ, amitasya hi dātāraṁ bhartāraṁ kā na pūjayet/ A woman might reap happiness and solace from her father, brother, or children but no other male could gift her unlimited joy! Would there be woman whose sincere service with devotion and faith to her husband reap pleasure in 'iha loka' and 'para loka'. As Devi Sita expressed her sentiments, Kousalya was overwhelmed with joy with bursting tears. In turn, Sita folded her hands and asked her that this passing instance of a fourteen year forest life be considered as only a passing phase and as such neither she herself should not take to heart nor nag the old King. Then Shri Rama folded his hands and bid farewell to all the three mothers.

Sarga Forty

Sita Rama Lakshmanas perform pradakshinas to Dasharatha and the mothers, Sita Rama Lakshmanas crowds alight the chariot and the crowds get terribly agitated

Atha rāmas ca sītā ca lakṣmaṇas ca kṛtāñjalih, upasaṃgṛhya rājānam cakrur dīnāḥ pradakṣiṇam/ tam cāpi samanujñāpya dharmajñaḥ sītayā saha, rāghavaḥ śokasammūḍho jananīm abhyavādayat/ anvakṣam lakṣmaṇo bhrātuḥ kausalyām abhyavādayat, atha mātuḥ sumitrāyā jagrāha caraṇau punaḥ/ tam vandamānam rudatī mātā saumitrim abravīt, hitakāmā mahābāhum mūrdhny upāghrāya lakṣmaṇam/ sṛṣṭas tvam vanavāsāya svanuraktaḥ suḥṛjjane, rāme pramādam mā kārṣīḥ putra bhrātari gacchati/ vyasanī vā samrddho vā gatir eṣa tavānagha, eṣa loke satām dharmo yaj jyeṣṭhavaśago bhavet/ idam hi vṛttam ucitam kulasyāsya sanātanam, dānam dīksā ca yajñesu tanutyāgo mṛdhesu ca/ rāmam daśaratham viddhi mām viddhi janakātmajām, ayodhyām atavīm viddhi gaccha tāta yathāsukham/ tatah sumantrah kākutstham prānjalir vākyam abravīt, vinīto vinayajnas ca mātalir vāsavam yathā/ ratham āroha bhadram te rājaputra mahāyaśah, kṣipram tvām prāpayiṣyāmi yatra mām rāma vakṣyasi/ caturdaśa hi varṣāṇi vastavyāni vane tvayā, tāny upakramitavyāni yāni devyāsi coditah/ tam ratham sūryasamkāśam sītā hrstena cetasā., āruroha varārohā krtvālamkāram ātmanah/ tathaivāvudhajātāni bhrātrbhvām kavacāni ca, rathopasthe pratinyasya sacarmakathinam ca tat/ sītātrtīyān ārūḍhān dṛṣṭvā dhṛṣṭam acodayat, sumantraḥ sammatān aśvān vāyuvegasamāñ jave/ prayāte tu mahāraṇyam cirarātrāya rāghave, babhūva nagare mūrcchā balamūrcchā janasya ca/ tat samākulasambhrāntam mattasamkupita dvipam, hayaśiñjitanirghosam puram āsīn mahāsvanam/ tatah sabālavrddhā sā purī paramapīditā, rāmam evābhidudrāva gharmārtah salilam yathā/ pārśvatah pṛṣṭhataś cāpi lambamānās tadunmukhāh, bāṣpapūrṇamukhāḥ sarve tam ūcur bhṛśaduḥkhitāḥ/ samyaccha vājinām raśmīn sūta yāhi śanaiḥ śanaiḥ, mukham drakşyāmi rāmasya durdarśam no bhavişyati/āyasam hṛdayam nūnam rāmamātur asamśayam, vad devagarbhapratime vanam yāti na bhidyate/krtakrtyā hi vaidehī chāyevānugatā patim, na jahāti ratā dharme merum arkaprabhā yathā/ aho laksmana siddhārthah satatām priyavādinam, bhrātaram devasamkāśam yas tvam paricarisyasi/ mahaty esā hi te siddhir esa cābhyudayo mahān, esa svargasya mārgaś ca vad enam anugacchasi, evam vadantas te sodhum na śekur bāspam āgatam/ atha rājā vṛtah strībhir dīnābhir dīnacetanaḥ, nirjagāma priyam putram drakṣyāmīti bruvan grhāt/ śuśruve cāgrataḥ strīnām rudantīnām mahāsvanah, vathā nādah karenūnām baddhe mahati kuñjare/ pitā ca rājā kākutsthah śrīmān sannas tadā babhau, paripūrnah śaśī kāle grahenopapluto vathā/ tato halahalāśabdo jajñe rāmasya pṛṣṭhataḥ, narāṇām prekṣya rājānam sīdantam bhṛśaduḥkhitam/ hā rāmeti janāḥ ke cid rāmamāteti cāpare, antahpuram samrddham ca krośantam paryadevayan/ anvīksamāno rāmas tu visannam bhrāntacetasam, rājānam mātaram caiva dadarśānugatau pathi, dharmapāśena samksiptah prakāśam nābhyudaiksata/ padātinau ca yānārhāy aduhkhārhau sukhocitau, drstvā samcodayām āsa śīghram yāhīti sārathim/ na hi tat purusavyāghro duhkhadam darśanam pituh, mātuś ca sahitum śaktas totrārdita iva dvipaļ/ tathā rudantīm kausalyām ratham tam anudhāvatīm, krośantīm rāma rāmeti hā sīte lakşmaneti ca, asakrt praikşata tadā nrtyantīm iva mātaram/ tistheti rājā cukroşa yāhi yāhīti rāghavah, sumantrasya babhūvātmā cakrayor iva cāntarā/ nāśrauṣam iti rājānam upālabdho 'pi vakṣyasi, ciram duhkhasva pāpistham iti rāmas tam abravīt/ rāmasva sa vacah kurvann anujñāpva ca tam janam, vrajato 'pi hayāñ śīghram codayām āsa sārathiḥ/ nyavartata jano rājño rāmam krtvā pradakṣiṇam, manasāpy aśruvegaiś ca na nyavartata mānuṣam/ yam icchet punar āyāntam nainam dūram anuvrajet, ity amātyā mahārājam ūcur daśaratham vacah/ tesām vacah sarvagunopapannam; prasvinnagātrah pravisannarūpah, niśamya rājā krpanah sabhāryo; vyavasthitas tam sutam īksamānah/

Rama Lakshmanas and Devi Sita touched the feet of King Dasharatha and performed 'pradakshina' to King Dasharatha. Rama Sita's once again prostrated to Koushalya and so did Lakshmana to Devi Sumitra. Sumitra said endearingly that while performing dutiful devotion to Sita-Ramas, he should be ever vigilant as his bounden duty to the elder brother would be obligatory; she stressed that Lakshmana ought to consider that Rama should be considered on par with King Dasaratha himself and Devi Sita as his own mother. She then wished auspicious farewell while emphasising the ancient precepts of dharma: *Idam hi vṛttam ucitam kulasyāsya sanātanam, dānam dīkṣā ca yajñeṣu tanutyāgo mṛdheṣu ca*/ Daanadeeksha- and tyaga or liberal charity- determined resolution- and sacrifice are the ancient precepts of

dharma. Then Sumantra the ever dutiful charioteer with folded hands, like Matali to Indra, requested Sita-Rama-Lakshmanas to enter the chariot with auspiciousness and remarked that their eventful entry would mark the clicking of the clock of fourteen years as prescribed by Devi Kaikeyi! This remark of Sumantra would indeed smack of a jibe at the villian of Ramayana! Then Devi Sita was seated foremost along with Rama, while Lakshmana was standing behind, while Sumantra initiated the forward movement. tatah sabālavrddhā sā purī paramapīditā, rāmam evābhidudrāva gharmārtah salilam yathā/ pārśvatah pṛṣṭhataś cāpi lambamānās tadunmukhāh, bāṣpapūrṇamukhāh sarve tam ūcur bhṛśaduḥkhitāh/ samyaccha vājinām raśmīn sūta yāhi śanaiḥ śanaiḥ, mukham drakṣyāmi rāmasya durdarśam no bhaviṣyati/The crowds of Ayodhya then started running behind the chariot from a child to the old aged as though they were terribly thirsty running for drops of water on mid days. They started shouting at the charioteer to slow down the run stating that henceforth visualisation of Rama in person might occur for several years now! There were remarks from the crowd: kṛtakṛtyā hi vaidehī chāyevānugatā patim, na jahāti ratā dharme merum arkaprabhā yathā/Devi Sita has proved now as a true Pativrata being ever present with Rama like Surya Deva is ever anchored to Meru Mountain.

Vishleshana on Meru Mountain and Surya Deva:

Meru Parvata: Meroh praachayaam dishaayaam tu Manasottara murdhani, vasvoka saaraa Mahendra puri hema parishkritaa/ Dakshinena punar meror Maanasasvaiva prishthatah, Vaivasvatonivasati Yamaasamyam -ana pure/ Prateechyaam cha punrmero manassyaiva murdhani, Sukhaa naama puri ramyaa Varunasyaapi dheematah/ Disyuttarasyaam Merestu Manassyaiva murdhani, tulyaa Mahendra puraastu Somasyaapi Vibhaapuri/Maanasassyottare prishthe Lokapaalaas -chaturdisham, sthitaa dharma vyavastaardham Dharma samrakshanaaya cha/ Loka paalo parishtha -atthu sarvato dakshinaayane, kaashthaa gatasya Suryasya gatim tasyanibodhata/Dakshinopa- krame Suryah kshipteshuriva gacchati, jyotishaam chakramaadaaya satatam parigacchati/ Madhyata chamaraavatyaam yadaa bhavati Bhaskarah, Vaivasvate Samyamane udyamstatra pradrishyate/ Sukhaayaa mardharaatryaam tu Vibhaayaa mastameticha, Vaivasvate Samyamane madhyaahne tu Raviryadaa/ Sukhaayaa matha vaarunyaamuttishtthantu drishyate, yibhyaayaamardharaatram tu maahendryaa mastameticha/ Sukhaayaamatha vaarunyaam madyhaahne cha aryamaa yadaa, vibhaayaam Somapuryaam tu uttishtthati Vibhaavasuh/Raatyardhamamaraavartyaam astameti Yamasya cha,Somapuryaam Vibhaayaam tu maddhaahnechaaryamaa yadaa/ Maahendryaa mamaraavartyaam mudgacchati iyaakarah, Ardha raatram Samyamane Vaarunyaamastameticha/ (To the east of Meru Parvata, atop the Manasarovara mountain, there exists Vasvaikasaara named Mahendra Nagara made of gold. Again to the south of Meru Parvata's back side, there is Manasaparvata and the Samyamani Pura where Lord Yama the illustrious son of Surya Deva resides. To the west of Meru parvata, on the west of Manasaparvata atop Sukha Purawhere Varuna Deva resides. To the north of Meru Parvata atop the Mahendra parvata, Vibhavari Pura where Chandra Deva resides. Behind the Manasotara on the four sides, the Ashta Dik Loka Paalakas are placed to protect Dharma and in the dakshinaayana period, Surya Deva oversees the activities of the Ashta Palakas during his period. Now, about the dakshinayana the travel of Surya; in the jyotishchakra in his pradakshina, He reaches Amaravati the capital of Indra Deva by the midday on earth; that would be when it coincides with Yama Raja's rising time, in Chandra's mid night time and so on. As Surya performs pradakshina or self-circumam -bulation, he also does the same to nakshatras too do likewise. Precisely at the 'udaya' and 'astama' timings he does exactly the same year in and year out. At the Sun Rise he gradually increases his radiance till the afternoon and gradually reduces his tejas till the dusk time. In this way, Surya Deva performs pradakshina or circubambulation of self and so do the nakshatra mandali too. These all travel southward and at the rise and setting timings are defined as also at the poorvaahna and aparaahna or pre noon and afternoon they pass through two each of Deva puris and at the noon time, one Devapuri. Thus Surva from the rise gains momentum of radiance till afternoon and gradually lessens the severity of the kiranas thereafter till Sun set. Surva has the constant awareness of he 'udaya' and 'astamaya' at the east and west directions; while radiating the eastern side, spreading the heat and illumination on the sidewise north and south and decreasing the severity till

disappearance. Meru Parvata is stated to be situated in the north of the highest of all the mountains; Lokaaloka is situated in the southern direction and since Prithvi's shadows are spread over, those Beings situated on the other side of the hemisphere are unable to Surya in the nights. Thus Surya Deva with a lakh of kiranas reaches the mid portion of 'Pushkaradwipa' by that time, despite his speed of one 'muhurta' or two ghadis at the rate of one thirty lakh and fifty thousand yojanas plus! Thus Surya Deva as he traverses southward for six months turns to uttarayana or northbound. At the time of Dakshinaayana, Surya would have reached the travel to the mid portion of Pushkara dwipa. This dwipa is as thrice as distant from Mru to Manasarovara! Now the distance on the southern course or Dakshinayana is of nine crore fifty lakh yojanas. After the dakshinayana, Surya reaches the Vishuva sthaana or the 'khagoleeya vishuvadvritta bindu' at the north of Ksheera sagara. Vishvan mandala parinama is three cores twenty one lakh yojanas. As Surya's course gets north bound or uttarayana entering'shravana nakshatra', then his course would be towards gomoda dwipa in between the south and north parts and in between are located jaradrava - Iravata to the north and Vaishvanara to the south. Towards north is named Naaga veedhi and to the south is the Ajaveedhi.]

The surging crowds were also making remarks on Lakshmana: aho laksmana siddhārthah satatām priyavādinam, bhrātaram devasamkāśam yas tvam paricariṣyasi/ They appeared to have stated that when Maha Vishnu descended to earth as Rama, Adishesha accompanied him as Lakshmana, his services to Rama were exemplary; he had no thoughts of his own comfort but other than of Rama's as he would not sleep a wink, as a guard over his brother with ever lasting vigil. The public of Ayodhya was surging on the main high roads and the street corners connecting the Raja Marga for Rama darshana beating their chests and crying aloud; the women folk were particulary agitated with hoarse and shrill throats as though the maha pralaya submerged the earth. Meanwhile, King Dasharadha too along with the queens and maids moved out of his palace with tottering steps and shaky physique wondering whether he could ever vision Rama once again in his life time. That particular scene was like Chandra Deva having been bitten off by Rahu at the 'grahana kaala'! Then Rama instructed Sumantra to speed up the chariot but the latter was just not able to do so as the rushing flow of men, women and children looked alarming. As the chariot was nearly approaching the terminal of the Raja Marga, the crowds, their gusty flows, and the high pitched sounds were alarming like of earth quakes. Meanwhile King Dasharatha was unable to stand and lost his balance while Rama having realised the extreme seriousness of the situation desperately shouted to let the chariot move faster and faster, even as there were to be the blatant hazards of casuality of a crushes of men-women-and children.

Sarga Forty One

As the unruly crowd was interrupting the Chariot several times, the citizens were crying away aloud shatterring the skies, especially the women folk

Tasmins tu puruṣavyāghre niṣkrāmati kṛtānjalau, ārtaśabdo hi sanjajñe strīṇām antaḥpure mahān/ anāthasya janasyāsya durbalasya tapasvinaḥ, yo gatim śaraṇam cāsīt sa nāthaḥ kva nu gacchati/ na krudhyaty abhiśasto 'pi krodhanīyāni varjayan, kruddhān prasādayan sarvān samaduḥkhaḥ kva gacchati/ kausalyāyām mahātejā yathā mātari vartate, tathā yo vartate 'smāsu mahātmā kva nu gacchati/ kaikeyyā kliśyamānena rājñā samcodito vanam, paritrātā janasyāsya jagataḥ kva nu gacchati/ aho niścetano rājā jīvalokasya sampriyam, dharmyam satyavratam rāmam vanavāso pravatsyati/ iti sarvā mahiṣyas tā vivatsā iva dhenavaḥ, ruruduś caiva duḥkhārtāḥ sasvaram ca vicukruśuḥ/ sa tam antaḥpure ghoram ārtaśabdam mahīpatiḥ, putraśokābhisamtaptaḥ śrutvā cāsīt suduḥkhitaḥ/ nāgnihotrāṇy ahūyanta sūryaś cāntaradhīyata, vyasrjan kavalān nāgā gāvo vatsān na pāyayan/ triśankur lohitāngaś ca bṛhaspatibudhāv api, dāruṇāḥ somam abhyetya grahāḥ sarve vyavasthitāḥ/ nakṣatrāṇi gatārcīmṣi grahāś ca gatatejasaḥ, viśākhāś ca sadhūmāś ca nabhasi pracakāśire/ akasmān nāgaraḥ sarvo jano dainyam upāgamat, āhāre vā vihāre vā na kaś cid akaron manaḥ/ bāṣpaparyākulamukho rājamārgagato janaḥ, na hṛṣṭo lakṣyate kaś cit sarvaḥ śokaparāyaṇaḥ/ na vāti pavanaḥ śīto na śaśī saumyadarśanaḥ/ na sūryas tapate lokam

sarvam paryākulam jagat/anarthinaḥ sutāḥ strīṇām bhartāro bhrātaras tathā, sarve sarvam parityajya rāmam evānvacintayan/ ye tu rāmasya suhrdaḥ sarve te mūḍhacetasaḥ, śokabhāreṇa cākrāntāḥ śayanam na juhus tadā/ tatas tv ayodhyā rahitā mahātmanā; puramdareṇeva mahī saparvatā, cacāla ghoram bhayabhārapīḍitā; sanāgayodhāśvagaṇā nanāda ca/

As the Shri Rama- Sita- Lakshmana's chariot as conducted by Sumantra had literally penetrated forcibly through the thronging crowds crying away with agony from their hearts and souls, the 'Ranivasa Strees' too were agitated shouting with agony: 'Alas indeed: Rama is leaving all of us away! He is the source of our strength to defend us whenever we were blamed by the superiors, he would readily be available to mediate and defend us and vindicate justice and thus share our genuine sorrows! He had always been helpful to us and pro-active in our domestic problems and in our discharge of official duties. Rama had been always treating us the servant maids respectfully as in the case of his mothers! Where is Rama to have left us in the depths of distresse like this, for no fault or sinful deed of his, just beacause of the personal ambition and sinful desire of Kaikeyi and the helplessness of the forlorn King! Alas indeed, this is our fate too as the King has lost his balance of mind, even despite his glory and popularity for his herioc and 'dharmic' deeds, had despatched Rama to the deep forests, even he is a symbol of 'dharma parayana, satyavrata, and nyaaya sheela!' Are not we and so do the rest of the Queens like the aging cows having lost their unique calf, desperate with anguish and helplessness!' Having heard such high pitch distresed shoutings with heart beatings, King Dasharatha who had cried and cried was lost in blankness of thinking. Naagnihotraani ahuyanta naapachan grihamedhinah, akruvan na prajaah kaaryam Sryaschaantara dheeyata/ Vyasrujan kavalaan naagaagaavo vatsaan na paayayan, putram prathamajam lahbdhwaa jananee naabhya nadata/ Through out that fateful day, fireplaces and the kitchens were shut down, the householders never ate any food, the public was unable to perform their routine chores and was a complete standstill; eventually there was Sunset, elephants discarded their food, cows did not feed their calves and most strangely enough no pregnant mother was delighted at the offspring delivered on that fateful day! All the planets like Trishanku, Mangala, Guru, Budha as also Shukra, Shani and so on followed 'vakra gati' or the distorted routes and got cruel around Chandra is the night time. The brightness and the twinkle of 'Nakshatra Mandalas' was blane and blackened and the night was dismal and unusual. In fact, as Rama's chariot wheels gained momentum, there were tremors and quakes of earth. The 'ashta diks' or the eight directions got twisted disfigured and there was directionless gloom all around. tatas tv ayodhyā rahitā mahātmanā; puramdareneva mahī saparvatā, cacāla ghoram bhayabhārapīditā; sanāgayodhāśvaganā nanāda ca/Thus entire Ahodhyapuri fell silent, crestfallen, gloomy and forlorn but for frightening and pitched up shouts and cryings without Rama the epic hero!

Sarga Forty Two

King Dasharatha cries and swoons for Rama, distances from Kaikeyi and shifts to Kausalya's palace

Yāvat tu niryatas tasya rajorūpam adŗšyata, naivekṣvākuvaras tāvat samjahārātmacakṣuṣī/ yāvad rājā priyam putram paśyaty atyantadhārmikam, tāvad vyavardhatevāsya dharaṇyām putradarśane/ na paśyati rajo 'py asya yadā rāmasya bhūmipaḥ, tadārtaś ca viṣaṇṇaś ca papāta dharaṇītale/ tasya dakṣiṇam anvagāt kausalyā bāhum aṅganā, vāmam cāsyānvagāt pārśvam kaikeyī bharatapriyā/ tām nayena ca saṃpanno dharmeṇa nivayena ca, uvāca rājā kaikeyīm samīkṣya vyathitendriyaḥ/kaikeyi mā mamāṅgāni sprākṣīs tvam duṣṭacāriṇī, na hi tvām draṣṭum icchāmi na bhāryā na ca bāndhavī/ ye ca tvām upajīvanti nāham teṣām na te mama, kevalārthaparām hi tvām tyaktadharmām tyajāmy aham/ agṛhṇām yac ca te pāṇim agnim paryaṇayam ca yat, anujānāmi tat sarvam asmiml loke paratra ca/ bharataś cet pratītaḥ syād rājyam prāpyedam avyayam, yan me sa dadyāt pitrartham mā mā tad dattam āgamat/ atha reṇusamudhvastam tam utthāpya narādhipam, nyavartata tadā devī kausalyā śokakarśitā/ hatveva brāhmaṇam kāmāt spṛṣṭvāgnim iva pāṇinā, anvatapyata dharmātmā putram samcintya tāpasam/ nivṛtyaiva sīdato rathavartmasu, rājño nātibabhau rūpam grastasyāmśumato yathā/ vilalāpa ca duḥkhārtaḥ priyam putram anusmaran, nagarāntam anuprāptam buddhvā putram athābravīt/

vāhanānām ca mukhyānām vahatām tam mamātmajam, padāni pathi drsyante sa mahātmā na drsyate/ sa nūnam kva cid evādya vrkṣamūlam upāśritaḥ, kāṣṭham vā yadi vāśmānam upadhāya śayiṣyate/ utthāsyati ca medinyāḥ krpaṇaḥ pāmśuguṇṭhitaḥ, viniḥśvasan prasravaṇāt kareṇūnām ivarṣabhaḥ/ drakṣyanti nūnam puruṣā dīrghabāhum vanecarāḥ, rāmam utthāya gacchantam lokanātham anāthavat/ sakāmā bhava kaikeyi vidhavā rājyam āvasa, na hi tam puruṣavyāghram vinā jīvitum utsahe/ ity evam vilapan rājā janaughenābhisamvṛtaḥ, apasnāta ivāriṣṭam praviveśa purottamam/ śūnyacatvaraveśmāntām samvṛtāpaṇadevatām, klāntadurbaladuḥkhārtām nātyākīrṇamahāpathām/ tām avekṣya purīm sarvām rāmam evānucintayan, vilapan prāviśad rājā grham sūrya ivāmbudam/ mahāhradam ivākṣobhyam suparṇena hrtoragam, rāmeṇa rahitam veśma vaidehyā lakṣmaṇena ca/ kausalyāyā grham śīghram rāma mātur nayantu mām, iti bruvantam rājānam anayan dvāradarśitaḥ/ tatas tatra praviṣṭasya kausalyāyā niveśanam, adhiruhyāpi śayanam babhūva lulitam manaḥ/ tac ca drṣṭvā mahārājo bhujam udyamya vīryavān, uccaiḥ svareṇa cukrośa hā rāghava jahāsi mām/ sukhitā bata tam kālam jīviṣyanti narottamāḥ, pariṣvajanto ye rāmam drakṣyanti punar āgatam/ na tvām paśyāmi kausalye sādhu mām pāṇinā spṛśa, rāmam me 'nugatā dṛṣṭir adyāpi na nivartate/ tam rāmam evānuvicintayantam; samīkṣya devī śayane narendram, upopaviśyādhikam ārtarūpā; viniḥśvasantī vilalāpa kṛcchram/

Even as the horse cart carrying Rama Lashmana Sitas disappeared far away from human vision and the dust raised and the sounds of horses got distant, King Dasharatha fell down unconscious onec again, when Devi Kousalya was standing right to him and Kaikeyi to his left. As Kousalya lifted up Dasharatha slowly and sought to comfort him with care and concern, he saw the pretentious Kaikeyi as if she too shared the anxiety touched his body, the King who was even at the verge of relapse again pulled up his throat and yelled: kaikeyi mā mamāngāni sprākṣīs tvam duṣṭacāriṇī, na hi tvām draṣṭum icchāmi na bhāryā na ca bāndhavī/ 'Paapapurni Kaikeyi! Don't you dare and touch my body as I hate to look at your face! You are neither my wife nor relative! You are merely interested in your welfare and wealth and hence I am discarding you as my wife. No doubt I had wedded you by 'agnipramana', but am hereby divorcing you in this life and next life too. bharata's cet pratītaḥ syād rājyam prāpyedam avyayam, yan me sa dadyāt pitrartham mā mā tad dattam āgamat/ In case Bharata too gets overjoyed on assuming the kingship without any qualms of his conscience, if he cares to perform my 'shraaddha' after by death and offered 'pinda daana and jala tarpanaas', may those obsequies be invalidated by Pitru Devatas.' Thus King Dasharadha was spewing venemous and malicious fire addressing Kaikeyi, Devi Kausalya was concerned of the King's frenzy and having pacified him somewhat took him away to his mansion. By realising his own mistake of giving away the boons to Kaikeyi from which he could not wriggle out by the tight mess that he had jumped in and the most unfortunate consequences, he had to ruminate for lifetaking consequences of disaster and irrecoverable agony. He kept on gazing behind for the chariot like Surya Deva devoured by Rahu. He commenced imagining that the footprints of the horses tied to the chariot were visible but Rama had disappeared! He got immnersed in the thoughts of Rama as always enjoyed lying on cushioned beds with aromatic smells all around but now would have to perforce lie sleepless on bare and piercing mountain rocks! Then he would have to breathe heavily and wake up and stand by dusting his body with bare hands like an elephant king would use his trunk and seek to clean. He should clearly be like an 'anaadha' and with no help anywhere in the sight should take to his duties for himself and his wife too. Thus imagining the fateful days ahead of Rama then, involantarily, Dasharatha flared up suddenly and shouted at Kaikeyi: oh wreched woman! Be a widow soon and reign the Kingdom without worries, as in the absence of Shri Rama my life is not worth prolonging. Having thus declared, he sought to enter his mansion; he noticed the roads were empty, the market places were closed and the city of Ayodhya looked lonely and blank, as though Surya Deva hid himself with dark clouds and as if Garuda lifted the ever bustling Ayodhya up to blank coluds. Then he asked the doormen to carry him away to Kousalya and having reached there stated in sinking tone: 'take me to Rama'. Then she broke into loud cryings and could not control herself.

Sarga Forty Three

Maha Rani Kousalya's agony

Tataḥ samīkṣya śayane sannaṁ śokena pārthivam, kausalyā putraśokārtā tam uvāca mahīpatim/ rāghavo naraśārdūla viṣam uptvā dvijihvavat, vicariṣyati kaikeyī nirmukteva hi pannagī/ vivāsya rāmam subhagā labdhakāmā samāhitā, trāsavisvati mām bhūvo dustāhir iva vesmani/ atha sma nagare rāmas caran bhaikṣam gṛhe vaset, kāmakāro varam dātum api dāsam mamātmajam/ pātayitvā tu kaikeyyā rāmam sthānād yathestatah, pradisto rakṣasām bhāgaḥ parvaṇīvāhitāgninā/ gajarājagatir vīro mahābāhur dhanurdharah, vanam āviśate nūnam sabhārvah sahalaksmanah/ vane tv adrstaduhkhānām kaikeyyānumate tvayā, tyaktānām vanavāsāya kā nv avasthā bhavisyati/ te ratnahīnās tarunāh phalakāle vivāsitāh, katham vatsvanti kṛpanāh phalamūlaih kṛtāśanāh/ apīdānīm sa kālah syān mama śokaksayah śivah, sabhāryam yat saha bhrātrā paśyeyam iha rāghavam/śrutvaivopasthitau vīrau kadāyodhyā bhavisyati, yaśasyinī hṛstajanā sūcchritadhvajamālinī/ kadā preksya naravyāghrāy aranyāt punarāgatau, nandişyati purī hṛṣṭā samudra iva parvaṇi/ kadāyodhyām mahābāhuḥ purīm vīraḥ pravekṣyati, puraskrtva rathe sītām vrsabho govadhūm iva/ kadā prānisahasrāni rājamārge mamātmajau, lājair avakarisyanti praviśantāv arimdamau/ kadā sumanasah kanyā dvijātīnām phalāni ca, pradiśantyah purīm hṛṣṭāḥ kariṣyanti pradakṣiṇam/ kadā pariṇato buddhyā vayasā cāmaraprabhaḥ, abhyupaiṣyati dharmajñas trivarṣa iva mām lalan/ niḥsamśayam mayā manye purā vīra kadaryayā, pātu kāmeṣu vatsesu mātrīnām śātitāh stanāh/ sāham gaur iva simhena vivatsā vatsalā kṛtā, kaikevyā purusavyāghra bālavatseva gaur balāt/ na hi tāvad gunair justam sarvaśāstraviśāradam, ekaputrā vinā putram aham jīvitum utsahe/ na hi me jīvite kim cit sāmartham iha kalpyate, apasyantyāh priyam putram mahābāhum mahābalam/ ayam hi mām dīpayate samutthitas; tanūjaśokaprabhayo hutāśanah, mahīm imām raśmibhir uttamaprabho; vathā nidāghe bhagavān divākarah/

A highly agitated Pattamahishi Kousalya then addressed her husband that now that Rama had finally left Ayodhya for 'aranya vaasa', Kaikeyi ought to be like a 'sarpini'or a female cobra having now acquired fresh skin with pioson emitting from her throat and with unlimited freedom. As the hidrance of Rama having been crossed, she would now indulge in find faulting opportunities against me. If only Rama were to be a beggar on streets or be a slave to Kaikeyi, even then in such situations might be preferred by me as at least then I could have his daily darshan; perhaps I should have begged Kaikeyi for such alternatives, but now I could not even see him or be contented with his presence! But now, Kaikeyi has had the last and form resolve in despatching Rama to the dense jungles for a long duration of fourteen years and this would smack of a situation of Devatas being denied of the taste of the 'havishaanna' by way of offerings to Agnihotra and instead of offering that to Rakshasaas! By now, Rama like an elephant king would have entered the deep forests along with his dear 'saadhvi' and trusted younger brother. Maha Raja! is this not a cruel twist of destiny that an exemplary human like Shri Rama has been instructed by his own father and was banished to unknown forests as accompanied by his faithful wife and ever trusted brother! Indeed, was this absolutely inevitable to have accorded approval to a vicious and extremely selfish woman! Such youthful persons especially in the wake of their auspicious weddings should have been granted by their parents of memorable wedded life instead of cruelly ordering them to suffer miseries of the dimension of this magnitude! When and whether in my life time might arrive a fortuitous time as I could see Rama in person but not in imagination ever and when could I meet Devi Sita and Lakshmanas the ever loyalists of ages! When again the citizens of Ayodhya could hear even hints of their return and get intoxicated in raptures with unending celebrations of houses, markets, temples, and Raja Margas let alone the sreet corners besides each and every house holds! Indeed the city of Ayodhya and the entire kingdom would be awaiting the most auspicious time as though of the great oceans wait on for the Purnima the Full Moon Day with faith and devotion. Like the cows are inevitably followed by bulls, the arrival of Rama Sita Lakshmanas should be a truly historic occasion that the citizens of Ayodhya should be patiently awaiting so that, that would be a cause for agitation of the internal and external enemies and outstanding relief for the Kingdom. When again the pretty brahmana kanyas of Ayodhya with shining dresses and sparkling looks queue up for the memorable welcome of Rama Sita Lakshmanas at the entrance gates of Ayodhya with scented flower shovers, musical dances and trays of delightful 'aarties'!

Maha Raja! It appears that in my previous life, I might have been a low class female who forced to feed a toddler with milk denied of calves as her mother's breasts were mutilated! Indeed, Kaikeyi denied me of forcefully thrusting such milk instead of the joy of my breast milk! Indeed, how could I bear the sufferance of the absence of my dearest Rama. How the mother earth continue the oppressive heat of scorching mid day Sun as I have to bear the separation of Rama for long! Putra shoka is like the tyrranical fire burning me with hopelessness and desperation!

Sarga Forty Four

Devi Sumitra assuages Kousalya's tormented psyche

Vilapantīm tathā tām tu kausalyām pramadottamām, idam dharme sthitā dharmyam sumitrā vākyam abravīt/ tavārye sadgunair yuktaḥ putraḥ sa puruṣottamaḥ, kim te vilapitenaivam kṛpaṇam ruditena vā/ yas tavārye gatah putras tyaktvā rājyam mahābalah, sādhu kurvan mahātmānam pitaram satyavādinām/ śistair ācarite samvak śaśvat pretya phalodaye, rāmo dharme sthitah śrestho na sa śocyah kadā cana/ vartate cottamām vṛttim lakṣmaṇo 'smin sadānaghaḥ dayāvān sarvabhūteṣu lābhas tasya mahātmanaḥ/ araṇyavāse yad duḥkham jānatī vai sukhocitā, anugacchati vaidehī dharmātmānam tavātmajam/ kīrtibhūtām patākām yo loke bhrāmayati prabhu, damasatyayrataparah kim na prāptas tavātmajah/ vyaktam rāmasya vijnāya śaucam māhātmyam uttamam, na gātram amsubhih sūryah samtāpayitum arhati/śivah sarveşu kāleşu kānanebhyo vinihsrtah, rāghavam yuktaśītosnah sevişyati sukho 'nilah/ śayānam anagham rātrau pitevābhiparisvajan, raśmibhih samspṛśañ śītaiś candramā hlādayiṣyati/ dadau cāstrāṇi divyāni yasmai brahmā mahaujase, dānavendram hatam dṛṣṭvā timidhvajasutam raṇe/ pṛthivyā saha vaidehyā śriyā ca purusarsabhah, ksipram tisrbhir etābhih saha rāmo 'bhiseksyate/ duhkhajam visrjanty asram niskrāmantam udīksya yam, samutsraksyasi netrābhyām ksipram ānandajam payah/ abhivādayamānam tam dṛstvā sasuhṛdam sutam, mudāśru moksyase ksipram meghalekeva vārsikī/ putras te varadah ksipram ayodhyām punar āgatah, karābhyām mṛdupīnābhyām caranau pīdayisyati/ niśamya tal lakşmanamātrvākyam; rāmasya mātur naradevapatnyāh, sadyah śarīre vinanāśa śokah; śaradgato megha ivālpatovah/

As Sumitra Devi the mother of Lakshmana then addressed Kousalya emphasising the futilty of crying and heart renderings. She stated that Rama being a genuine 'Satyavaadi' would most certainly obey the instructions of his father, come what might! sistair ācarite samyak śaśvat pretya phalodaye, rāmo dharme sthitah śrestho na sa śocyah kadā cana/ Dear sister! If Rama were to be shielded by Dharma and followed the unique path of truthfulness, such exemplary human beings shelterd and defended be admired but never cried for; this is definitely so as they should reap positive outcomes in their 'iha-paraas' on in the ongoing and subsequent lives, assuredly. Lakshmana is replete with helpfulness to each and every being on earth; most certainly for Rama especially. This is an assetful and most dependable trust of optimism. Now, Devi Sita of Maha Lakshmi swarupa as the incarnation of opulence and fortune has followed Rama like Lakshmi follows Maha Vishnu. Indeed, she is most certainly aware of the implications and the inherent complications.kīrtibhūtām patākām yo loke bhrāmayati prabhu, damasatyavrataparaḥ kim na prāptas tavātmajah/ If it were against this type of backing that Rama would be unfurling the banner of auspiciousness and success, then what else could be the pathway to worldwide fame for Rama the unique! As he were to hoist the flag of glory, then why ruminate but look ahead instead, without agitation and helplessness! By realising the purity and brilliance, could even mid-day Surya Rays scorch Rama's body ever! In fact Rama would be immune from the shivers of feezing cold or burning chars of Sun and those respective blasts of winds should prove ineffective of their impact! Devi Kousalya! Dadau cāstrāņi divyāni yasmai brahmā mahaujase, dānavendram hatam dṛṣṭvā timidhvajasutam raṇe/ Don't you recall that Brahmarshi Vishvamitra had taught innumerable 'divya astras' to Rama to withstand the onslaughts of the most heinous rakshasaas like Subahu the son of Shambarashura!

[Vishleshama on Rama's killing Subahu Rakshasa: Refer Essence of Valmiki Baala Ramayana Sarga Thirty:

'Having rested in the Tataka vana itself overnight, Vishvamitra addressed Shri Rama smilingly and expressed his great satisfation at the Tataki samhara and initiated his teachings of applied astra vidya/ He stated that initially he would teach the celestial missiles of danda chakra, dharma chakra, kaala chakra, vishnu chakra, and the most powerful Aindra chakra. Then the Sage instructed the arts of application and throwing away of Indra's Vajrastra, Shiva Deva's trishula praharana, and Brahma's granted Aishikastra and Shira -cchedana astra. Then the Maharshi taught the boys of the magnificent vidya of 'gadaa praharana' or the art of battling with maces like 'modaki'- 'prahari'- shikhari of forcible applications of mace strokings, throwings and mace head rubbings. Then Vishmamitra taught the astras of 'dharma paasha-kaala paasha-and varuna paasha'. Subsequently they wer taught two kinds of dry and wet rounded applications of astras viz. 'ashani- pinaka-narayanaastras'. Then Rama Lakshmanas were taught Agneyastra fond of Agni Deva resulting in fierce flames of fire renouned as Shikharaastra- Vayavyastra which sweeps ay the opponent with virulent sweeps away. Then the Maharshi teaches the Kakutsa nandanaas of 'Hayashira Astra' - 'Krounchana Astra' and 'Shakti Dvayaastra' or of high potent twin astras attacking the opponent with doubled up potency. The Maharshi was pleased to instruct Rama Lakshmanas the astras named 'kankala'-the devastating 'musala'- and the destructive 'Kapaala' and 'Kinkini' and such astras which could lift up and throw the opponents forcefully. Then in the series were taught the famed 'Nandana Astra' of Vidyadharas as well as the associated mace of fame. The 'Gandharva Priya' astras of 'Sammohana' for relapsing into senselessness like 'Prastaavana-Prashamana-and Soumya' were taught too, besides the 'Mohanaastras' suca as for varshana-shoshanasantaapana-vilaapana-maadana which was the beloved of Kama Deva Manmadha himself, and the Gandharvapriya 'Maanava astra', besides the Pishacha priya 'Mohanastra'. Brahmarshi Vishvamitra then instructed the Astras named 'Taamasa-Soumana-Samvarta-Durjaya- Mousala-Satya-and Mayamayaastras too. Then the Maharshi imparted to Rama Lakshmanas the glorious 'Surya prabha Astra' which when once released as an arrow would destroy the enemies to ashes. Simultaneously, the Maharshi conferred 'Shishira naamaka Chandraastra', 'Tvashta (Vishvakarma) naamaka 'Daarunaastra', Bhaga Deva namaka 'Bhayankaraashtra' and 'Sheetoshna' naamaka Astra of Manu Deva. Thus with facing the able disciples of Rama Lakshmanas, the Maharshi Vishwamitra was pleased to bestow the 'astra vidya' of his entire learning.]

Brahmarshi Vishvamitra was then approached by Rama Lakshmanas to explain them vividly as to how and when the Rakshasaas were in the habit of destroying the yagini karyas of the tapasvees in the ashrama. Then the ashramavaasi rishis near Vishvamitra replied that Maharshi Vishvamitra had already assumed 'mouna vrata' for six days, and thus Rama Lakshmanas would need to be extremely vigilant for six nights long and safeguard from the attacks of the 'nishaacharaas'. Accordingly Rama Lakshmanas being alert 'dhanurdharaas' had been vigilant standing just by the side of the Maharshi. As 'agni jvalaas' came up initiated by 'Upaadhyaaya' or of the role of Brahma- 'Purohita' of the role of Upadrashtha, the flames went up too high as a forewarning indicators of the enrty of the rakshasaas. Then Vishvamitra along with the Ritvijas initiated the 'aahananeeyaagni' [Panchaagnis being described as Garhapatya-Aahavaneeya- Dakshinaagni-Sabyha and Avasatya representing Heaven-Clouds-Earth- Man and Woman vide Kathopa -nishad]. Mantravac ca yathānyāyam yajño 'sau sampravartate, ākāśe ca mahāñ śabdah prādur āsīd bhayānakah/ āvārya gaganam megho yathā prāvṛsi nirgatah, tathā māyām vikurvānau rākṣasāv abhyadhāvatām/ mārīcaś ca subāhuś ca tayor anucarās tathā, āgamya bhīmasamkāśā rudhiraughān avāsrjan/ As the resonance of the mantras recited in a pitch increased, there came up the high sounds on the sky with reverberations and dark clouds reflected the massive figures of rakshasaas named Maareecha and Subaahu and initiated pourings of blood from the high skies, even as groups of other rakshasaas started yelling and joined the task of pouring blood. Rama then addressed Lakshmana and stated that the rakshasaas had now arrived and both the Kumaras pitched up their arrows reciting the relevant mantras of 'Maanavaastra'. The arrow from Shri Rama was shot at and pierced Maricha's chest and the latter was farflung by hundred vojanas into the depths of the Sea. Smilingly, Rama told

Lakshmana that this Mantra of 'Manavasatra' had only helped to faint and farflung Maricha but now let 'agneyastra' be released so that the other mighty Subaahu be killed for good! So saying as Subahu was killed, the rest of the raakshasas fled away for good never ever to return. This was how Raghunandana Shri Rama got rid of all the rakshasa elements of evil energies wantonly spoiling the dharmic duties of yagjna karyas by Munis for a very long time. The grateful indwellers of the Ashram praised Rama Lakshmanas under the supreme leadership of Brahmarshi Vishvamitra himself.]

Sarga Forty Four continued: Devi Sumitra further addressed Devi Kousalya that Rama the Purusha Simha was thus a hero of might by body, mind and enormous experience in withstanding the enemies of Rakshasas, let alone humans of evil and of fierce animals and reptiles. Further: Suryasyapi bhavet Suryo hyaagneragnih Pabhoh Prabhuh, Shriyaah shreescha bhavedagrayaa, keertyaah keertih, kshame kshamaah, Devatam Devataanaam cha bhutanaam bhutasattamah, tasya ke hyaagunaa Devi vaney vyaapyathavaa pure! Devi! Rama in terms of radiance Surya Deva pales into insignificance while he excels Agni Deva in generating heat just as he is Lakshmi among Lakshmis, 'kshama' or forbearances excels kshamaas; not only this, He is 'the' Deva among Devas, and the Bhuta among Pancha bhutas. Be it in forests, cities or whereso ever, could there be a Supreme Being among the Beings in the entirety of Creation! Now, the Maha Purusha Shri Rama is atonce the Supreme Mix of Prithvi-Sita-and Lakshmi and thus be in worshipped all together!' Thus having appeared Devi Koushalya's excessive agitation, Devi Sumitra assured that he should emphatically assert that the 'Kaala maana' or the passage of time would pass sooner or later and Shri Rama accompanied by Devi Sita and brother Lakshmana should return and as such she should await their return with patience and trust; putras te varadah ksipram ayodhyām punar āgataḥ, karābhyām mṛdupīnābhyām caraṇau pīḍayiṣyati/ Soon enough your auspicious son should arrive back and by uttering sweet bits of conversation should press your feet with their mighty hands with extreme softness; that situation should soon enough return as you should rain your hot tears of joy and excitement, like the present clouds of dejection should shower mountain tops of the present state of your dejection. Devi Kousalya thus got assuaged her dense feelings of agony and dejection.

Sarga Forty Five

Rama appeals to the Ayodhya public not to hurt Dasaratha or Bharata- elders insist on following Rama upto Tamasa river banks

Anuraktā mahātmānam rāmam satyaparakramam, anujagmuḥ prayāntam tam vanavāsāya mānavāḥ/ nivartite 'pi ca balāt suhrdvarge ca rājini, naiva te samnyavartanta rāmasyānugatā ratham/ ayodhyānilayānām hi puruṣāṇām mahāyaśāḥ, babhūva guṇasampannaḥ pūrṇacandra iva priyaḥ/ sa yācyamānaḥ kākutsthah svābhiḥ prakṛtibhis tadā, kurvāṇaḥ pitaram satyam vanam evānvapadyata/ avekşamāṇaḥ sasneham cakṣuṣā prapibann iva, uvāca rāmaḥ snehena tāḥ prajāḥ svāḥ prajā iva/ yā prītir bahumānas ca mavv avodhvānivāsinām, matprivārtham visesena bharate sā nivesvatām/ sa hi kalvāna cāritrah kaikeyvānandavardhanah, karisvati vathāvad vah privāni ca hitāni ca/ jñānavrddho vayobālo mṛdur vīryaguṇānvitaḥ, anurūpaḥ sa vo bhartā bhaviṣyati bhayāpahaḥ/ sa hi rājaguṇair yukto yuvarājaḥ samīksitah, api cāpi mayā śistaih kāryam vo bhartrśāsanam/ na ca tapyed yathā cāsau vanavāsam gate mayi, mahārājas tathā kāryo mama priyacikīrsayā/ yathā yathā dāśarathir dharmam evāsthito 'bhavat, tathā tathā prakṛtayo rāmam patim akāmayan/ bāspena pihitam dīnam rāmah saumitrinā saha, cakarşeva gunair baddhvā janam punar ivāsanam/ dvijās trividham vrddhā jñānena vayasaujasā, vayahprakampaśiraso dūrād ūcur idam vacah/ vahanto javanā rāmam bho bho jātyās turamgamāḥ, nivartadhvam na gantavyam hitā bhavata bhartari, upavāhyas tu vo bhartā nāpavāhyah purād vanam/ evam ārtapralāpāms tān vrddhān pralapato dvijān, avekşya sahasā rāmo rathād avatatāra ha/ padbhyām eva jagāmātha sasītah sahalaksmanah, samnikṛstapadanyāso rāmo vanaparāyanah/ dvijātīms tu padātīms tān rāmas cāritravatsalah, na sasāka ghrnācaksuh parimoktum rathena sah/ gacchantam eva tam drstvā rāmam sambhrāntamānasāh, ūcuh paramasamtaptā rāmam vākyam idam dvijāh/ brāhmanyam krtsnam etat tvām brahmanyam anugacchati, dvijaskandhādhirūdhās tvām agnayo

'py anuyānty amī/ vājapeyasamutthāni chatrāṇy etāni paśya naḥ, pṛṣṭhato 'nuprayātāni hamsān iva jalātyaye/ anavāptātapatrasya raśmisamtāpitasya te, ebhiś chāyām kariṣyāmaḥ svaiś chatrair vājapeyikaiḥ/ yā hi naḥ satatam buddhir vedamantrānusāriṇī, tvatkṛte sā kṛtā vatsa vanavāsānusāriṇī/ hṛdayeṣv avatiṣṭhante vedā ye naḥ param dhanam, vatsyanty api gṛheṣv eva dārāś cāritrarakṣitāḥ/ na punar niścayaḥ kāryas tvadgatau sukṛtā matiḥ, tvayi dharmavyapekṣe tu kim syād dharmam avekṣitum/ yācito no nivartasva hamsaśuklaśiroruhaiḥ, śirobhir nibhṛtācāra mahīpatanapāmśulaiḥ/ bahūnām vitatā yajñā dvijānām ya ihāgatāḥ, teṣām samāptir āyattā tava vatsa nivartane/ bhaktimanti hi bhūtāni jamgamājamgamāni ca, yācamāneṣu teṣu tvam bhaktim bhakteṣu darśaya/ anugamtum aśaktās tvām mūlair uddhṛtavegibhiḥ, unnatā vāyuvegena vikrośantīva pādapāḥ/ niśceṣṭāhārasamcārā vṛkṣaikasthānaviṣṭhitāḥ, pakṣiṇo 'pi prayācante sarvabhūtānukampinam/ evam vikrośatām teṣām dvijātīnām nivartane, dadṛśe tamasā tatra vārayantīva rāghavam/

As the Maha Satya Vrata Shri Rama left Ayodhya and proceeded for assuming long stay in the forests, a large crowd of followers too joined in even as discarding their belongings behind out of agony and desperation. Then Rama addressed the crowds not to get agitated and disheartened for the time being and should meanwhile extend their hearty wishes to the new King Bharata and to his mother Devi Kaikeyi too. Then he complemented Bharata as an extremely learned and mature 'jnaani' and assuredly would extend his helpfulness, charitable disposition, fraternity and protective nature with sincerity and confidence. Rama further declared that King Dasharatha with outstanding wisdom and lifelong experience had thus preferred Bharata as the new King and as such the public must abide by the directives of King Dasharatha as he was longing for retired and peaceful life for now. As such, Rama appealed for refraining their mood of agitation to settlement to a new Kingship with innovative and initiative full of modern style of administation. Rama further stated that the followers had indeed displayed their loyalty to him no doubt for which he should express his gratitude but ought not to transgress the limits as after all even oceans were aware of their boundaries and never cross beyond. Having thus prevented the followers, especially the older generation of Brahmanas, Rama stopped the chariot and descended down to walk. The old Brahmanas affirmed: 'Raghu nandana! You are the unique well wisher of Brahmanas and as such the entirety of 'brahmana samaaja' had decided to follow as we take Agni on our shoulders and follow you as we seek to always perform 'vaaja peya yagjna' or the horse sacrifices. They continued stating: hṛdayeṣv avatiṣṭhante vedā ye naḥ param dhanam, vatsyanty api gṛheṣv eva dārāś cāritrarakṣitāḥ/ na punar niścayah kāryas tvadgatau sukrtā matih, tvayi dharmavyapekse tu kim syād dharmam aveksitum/Shri Rama! Our greatest gift and prosperity is our Veda Jnaana embedded in our hearts and that is why we have left behind our wives and children safe at our homes. Now we have dedicated to the cause of Dharma and hence there could not be any reconsideration to uphold the principles. Rama the epitome of 'Sadaachaara'! We are like the swans with our head hairs totally white and even by falling on earth with our devotion to you, we do humbly entreat you either let us follow you or better still return to Ayodhya! Fortunately for Rama, the Vriddha Brahmanas had to halt since the powerful flows of Tamasa River were encountered. The River was of forceful return flows even as the horses of the chariot of Sumanta were bathed and refreshed for the return journey to take place.

Sarga Forty Six

Rama Sita Lakshmana's over night stay at Tamasa banks- they leave ealiest unnoticed- public felt bad

Tatas tu tamasā tīram ramyam āśritya rāghavaḥ, sītām udvīkṣya saumitrim idam vacanam abravīt/ iyam adya niśā pūrvā saumitre prasthitā vanam, vanavāsasya bhadram te sa notkaṇṭhitum arhasi/ paśya śūnyāny araṇyāni rudantīva samantataḥ, yathānilayam āyadbhir nilīnāni mṛgadvijaiḥ/ adyāyodhyā tu nagarī rājadhānī pitur mama, sastrīpumsā gatān asmāñ śociṣyati na samśayaḥ/ bharataḥ khalu dharmātmā pitaram mātaram ca me, dharmārthakāmasahitair vākyair āśvāsayiṣyati/ bharatasyānṛśam satvam samcintyāham punaḥ punaḥ, nānuśocāmi pitaram mātaram cāpi lakṣmaṇa/ tvayā kāryam naravyāghra mām anuvrajatā kṛtam, anveṣṭavyā hi vaidehyā rakṣaṇārthe sahāyatā/ adbhir eva tu

saumitre vatsyāmy adya niśām imām, etad dhi rocate mahyam vanye 'pi vividhe sati/ evam uktvā tu saumitram sumantram api rāghavah, apramattas tvam aśvesu bhava saumyety uvāca ha/ so 'śvān sumantraḥ samyamya sūrye 'stam samupāgate, prabhūtayavasān kṛtvā babhūva pratyanantaraḥ/ upāsyatu śivām samdhyām dṛṣṭvā rātrim upasthitām, rāmasya śayanam cakre sūtaḥ saumitriṇā saha/ tām śavyām tamasātīre vīksva vrksadalaih krtām, rāmah saumitrinām sārdham sabhārvah samviveśa ha/ sabhāryam samprasuptam tam bhrātaram vīkṣya lakṣmaṇaḥ, kathayām āsa sūtāya rāmasya vividhān guṇān/ jāgrato hy eva tām rātrim saumitrer udito raviḥ, sūtasya tamasātīre rāmasya bruvato guṇān/ gokulākulatīrāvās tamasāvā vidūratah, avasat tatra tām rātrim rāmah prakrtibhih saha utthāva tu mahātejāh prakrtīs tā niśāmya ca, abravīd bhrātaram rāmo laksmanam punyalaksanam/ asmadvyapeksān saumitre nirapeksān grhesv api, vrksamūlesu samsuptān paśya laksmana sāmpratam/ yathaite niyamam paurāh kurvanty asmannivartane, api prānān asisyanti na tu tyaksyanti niścayam/ Yaavad eva tu samsuptās tāvad eva vayam laghu, ratham āruhya gacchāmah panthānam akutobhayam/ ato bhūyo 'pi nedānīm ikṣvākupuravāsinaḥ, svapeyur anuraktā mām vṛkṣamūlāni samsritāh/ paurā hy ātmakṛtād duḥkhād vipramocyā nṛpātmajaiḥ, na tu khalv ātmanā yojyā duḥkhena puravāsinaḥ/abravīl laksmano rāmam sāksād dharmam iva sthitam, rocate me mahāprājña ksipram āruhvatām iti/ sūtas tatah samtvaritah syandanam tair hayottamaih, yojayitvātha rāmāya prāñjalih pratyavedayat/ mohanārtham tu paurāṇām sūtam rāmo 'bravīd vacaḥ, udanmukhaḥ prayāhi tvam ratham āsthāya sārathe/ muhūrtam tvaritam gatvā nirgataya ratham punah, yathā na vidyuh paurā mām tathā kuru samāhitah/rāmasya vacanam śrutvā tathā cakre sa sārathih, pratyāgamya ca rāmasya syandanam pratyavedayat/ tam syandanam adhişthāya rāghavaḥ saparicchadaḥ, śīghragām ākulāvartām tamasām ataran nadīm/ sa samtīrya mahābāhuḥ śrīmāñ śivam akantakam, prāpadyata mahāmārgam abhayam bhayadarśinām/

Having crossed Tamasa River, Rama then looked at Sita and addressed Lakshmana that since they had the uprorious scenes of public agitations behind, that would be the very first evening and night of their forest life. Before settling down, let us enjoy the scenery of chirrupping birds and the movements of forest animals. Then in retrospection, Rama continued: indeed all through the day, the public of Ayodhya should have been terribly agitated, especially King Dashradha had been taking care of them like his own sons and the latter too had been of outstanding virtues. Now as far as our parents they should have been crying away so bitterly that they could even turn blind. Bharatah khalu dharmātmā pitaram mātaram ca me, dharmārthakāmasahitair vākyair āśvāsayiṣyati/ bharatasyānṛśam -satvam samcintyāham punaḥ punaḥ, nānuśocāmi pitaram mātaram cāpi laksmana/ Bharata is a 'dharmatma' in his core and on his return to Aydyodhya, he ought to be assuaging the King and the mothers, by way of dharma-artha-and kaama. As I keep recalling about the soft and unadulterated nature of Bharata, I feel quite confident of the parents and their agitative tendency. Having thus feeling confident about Bharata, Rama addressed Lakshmana: tvayā kāryam naravyāghra mām anuvrajatā kṛtam, anveṣṭavyā hi vaidehyā rakṣaṇārthe sahāyatā/' Nara shrestha Lakshmana! As you have strongly affirmed to have accompanied me and Sita, I feel immensely relieved as the best possible protector to Devi Sita'. Then Rama informed Lakshmana to merely fetch some water as he was not feeling like eating fruits and roots, as no doubt were available in the forest aplenty. Then Rama in a somewhat relaxed mood addressed Sumantra and requested him to look after the horses with care and attention. There after, Lakshmana made appropriate arrangements of grass beds for Sita Ramas for resting through the night, and there away after entered into conversation with Sumantra about the ourstanding qualities of Shri Rama the Yuga Purusha all through the night. As the next dawn arrived, there were crowds of cows assembling on the banks of Tamasa river. Rama and Sita too woke up and found big crowds of Ayodhya citizens on the other side of the bank; most of them were resting having wept long into the early hours and many were determined to witness the further movement of Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas. Lakshmana suggested to let the chariot move ahead very soon - perhaps unnoticed by the crowds, and proceed further to the extent possible. Soon enough they got into the chariot and sought to move forward and commence their journey into the dense forests as far as the horses could carry the chariot. Thereafter Sumantra having waited for the arrival of the auspicious timing kept the horses toward the northern side and wished Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas for a sucesseful journey onward till their victorious return to Ayodhya.

Sarga Forty Seven

Ayodhya elders and women got disturbed inability to see off Ramas to the deeper forests crossing Tamasa

Prabhātāyām tu śarvaryām paurās te rāghavo vinā, śokopahataniśceṣṭā babhūvur hatacetasaḥ/śokajāśruparidyūnā vīkṣamāṇās tatas tataḥ, ālokam api rāmasya na paśyanti sma duḥkhitāḥ/tato mārgānusāreṇa gatvā kim cit kṣaṇam punaḥ, mārganāśād viṣādena mahatā samabhiplutaḥ/rathasya mārganāśena nyavartanta manasvinaḥ, kim idam kim kariṣyāmo daivenopahatā iti/tato yathāgatenaiva mārgeṇa klāntacetasaḥ, ayodhyām agaman sarve purīm vyathitasajjanām/anugamya nivṛttānām rāmam nagaravāsinām/, udgatānīva sattvāni babhūvur amanasvinām/

As the citizens who could not witness the departure of the chariot or Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas with Sumantra, they felt anguished as there was no sign of the departure. They got agitated by themselves: Dhirastu khalu nidraam taam yayaapahata chetasah, naadya pashyaamahe Raamam prithuraskam maha bhujam/ Alas! It was a shame that we had slept off instead of keeping awaken in the night and we were unfortunate to have missed the scene of the departure of Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas. How has Rama departed away to forests without even a trace! Of which avail is our being still alive without the confidence of his personal presence now! Shall we not dare to walk on thorns and hard rocks which they too are going to encounter step after step. How can we live without Rama in Ayodhya as the' living-dead' beings with no urge for life and its worth. We are now onward missing his sweet face, comforting tongue, and fortuitous personality. We had planned to leave Ayodhya for good along with Rama, but we curse our own fates! In this way, the entirety of the crowds of Ayodhya were distressed, like groups of crying and braying away calves without their cows. This was how the crowds dispersed in groups of heart rendering cryings and slowly walked back with despair and and self-disgust at their misfortune. Aalokya nagareem taam cha kshayavyakula maanasaah, aavartyant teshruuni nayanaih shoka peeditaih/ On return to the city of Ayodhya, the returning crowds were full of heart rending cryings with dismay that neither followed Rama to the forests nor could even see him departing; on return to their houses, they were self defeated of their disgusting misfortune.

Sarga Forty Eight

Ayodhya woman folk cry away Rama Sita Lakshmanas for further 'vana vaasa'

Svam svam nilayam āgamya putradāraih samāvṛtāḥ, aśrūṇi mumucuḥ sarve bāṣpeṇa pihitānanāḥ/ na cāḥṛṣyan na cāmodan vaṇijo na prasārayan, na cāśobhanta paṇyāni nāpacan gṛhamedhinaḥ/ naṣṭam drstvā nābhyanandan vipulam vā dhanāgamam, putram prathamajam labdhvā jananī nābhyanandata/ grhe grhe rudantyaś ca bhartāram grham āgatam vyagarhayanto duhkhārtā vāgbhis totrair iya dyipān/ kim nu teşām grhaiḥ kāryam kim dāraiḥ kim dhanena vā, putrair vā kim sukhair vāpi ye na paśyanti rāghavam/ ekah satpuruso loke laksmanah saha sītayā, yo 'nugacchati kākutstham rāmam paricaran vane/āpagāh kṛtapunyās tāh padminyaś ca sarāmsi ca, yesu snāsyati kākutstho vigāhya salilam śuci/ śobhayisyanti kākutstham atavyo ramyakānanāh, āpagāś ca mahānūpāh sānumantaś ca parvatāh/ kānanam vāpi śailam vā yam rāmo 'bhigamişyati, priyātithim iva prāptam nainam śakṣyanty anarcitum/ vicitrakusumāpīdā bahumañjaridhāriṇaḥ, akāle cāpi mukhyāni puṣpāṇi ca phalāni ca, darśayiṣyanty anukrośād girayo rāmam āgatam/ vidarśayanto vividhān bhūyaś citrāms ca nirjharān, pādapāh parvatāgreşu ramayişyanti rāghavam/ yatra rāmo bhayam nātra nāsti tatra parābhavaḥ, sa hi śūro mahābāhuh putro daśarathasya ca/ purā bhavati no dūrād anugacchāma rāghavam, pādacchāyā sukhā bhartus tādrśasya mahātmanah, sa hi nātho janasyāsya sa gatih sa parāyanam/ vayam paricarisyāmah sītām yūyam tu rāghavam, iti paurastriyo bhartīn duḥkhārtās tat tad abruvan/ yuṣmākam rāghavo 'raṇye vogaksemam vidhāsvati, sītā nārījanasvāsva vogaksemam karisvati/ko nv anenāpratītena sotkanthita -

janena ca, samprīyetāmanojñena vāsena hṛtacetasā/ kaikeyyā yadi ced rājyam syād adharmyam anāthavat, na hi no jīvitenārthaḥ kutaḥ putraiḥ kuto dhanaiḥ/ yayā putraś ca bhartā ca tyaktāv aiśvaryakāraṇāt, kam sā parihared anyam kaikeyī kulapāmsanī/ kaikeyyā na vayam rājye bhṛtakā nivasemahi, jīvantyā jātu jīvantyaḥ putrair api śapāmahe/ yā putram pārthivendrasya pravāsayati nirghṛṇā, kas tām prāpya sukham jīved adharmyām duṣṭacāriṇīm/ na hi pravrajite rāme jīviṣyati mahīpatiḥ, mṛte daśarathe vyaktam vilopas tadanantaram/ te viṣam pibatāloḍya kṣīṇapuṇyāḥ sudurgatāḥ, rāghavam vānugacchadhvam aśrutim vāpi gacchata/ mithyā pravrājito rāmaḥ sabhāryaḥ sahalakṣmaṇaḥ, bharate samniṣṛṣṭāḥ smaḥ saunike paśavo yathā/ tās tathā vilapantyas tu nagare nāgarastriyaḥ, cukruśur bhṛśasamtaptā mṛtyor iva bhayāgame/ tathā striyo rāmanimittam āturā; yathā sute bhrātari vā vivāsite, vivalya dīnā rurudur vicetasaḥ; sutair hi tāsām adhiko hi so 'bhavat/

On return to their houses like fugitives from the warfront, they got surrounded by their wives and sons who too broke out with heart rending shoutings and cryings from their eyes to the ground. The trading community had not opened their shops and establishments for days. Markets were empty and respective citizens made no efforts to cook their food as their kitchens remained shut. The births in some homes were resented and no celebrations were observed. The returning husbands who entered their houses were resented as if they ran back from the warfront; in fact the wives at their homes made taunts as the piercing 'trishula' like hits to elephants. They jibed saying as to their inability even to see the final depature of Rama to the forests and that all the bravado that they left was a mere wasteful effort! ekah satpuruso loke lakṣmaṇaḥ saha sītayā, yo 'nugacchati kākutstham rāmam paricaran vane/There is only one person of truthfulness like Lakshmana who is accompanying Rama Sitas and it is he and he alone who is worthy of uniqueness and the rest of the humanity was worthy of condemnation. It is only that outstanding and purposeful Being who joins Rama taking bath in a waterbody, or a pond or a river or ocean. It is again that forest that Rama would visit which is blessed, or that mountain that He would mount, or that river in which he would bathe! pādacchāyā sukhā bhartus tādṛśasya mahātmanah, sa hi nātho janasyāsya sa gatih sa parāyanam/ It is that person of derervedness of praise who rests under the security and auspiciousness of Lord Rama's feet. He is our safety, path of comfort and final destination! The woman folk of Ayodhya then cried hoarse raspingly: may we even get an opportunity of serving Devi Sita while the menfolk secure a chance to serve Rama ever! Then the women of public diverted their attention: kaikeyyā yadi ced rājyam syād adharmyam anāthavat, na hi no jīvitenārthaḥ kutaḥ putraiḥ kuto dhanaiḥ/ yayā putras ca bhartā ca tyaktāv aisvaryakāranāt, kam sā parihared anyam kaikeyī kulapāmsanī/As Kaikeyi takes over the kingdom in her control, we swear that we continue to be 'anaadhaas' or helpless and forlorn, since the very concept of dharma gets deranged and distorted! If we have to live through our lives, then of what avail would be of existence, our family and of childen! Alas, Kaikeyi is such a detestable woman who could sacrifice a son and her own husband out of her lust for power with least consideration of age old established principles to torned pieces.!kaikeyyā na vayam rājye bhṛtakā nivasemahi, jīvantyā jātu jīvantyah putrair api śapāmahe/ Then the womanhood of Ayodhya unanimously declared that theywould all wish to swear by their sons that as long as Kaikeyi were to be alive, then would discord the Kingdom, even if we survive some how! It should all be due to Kaikeyi that this kingdom of glory should be doomed with neither yagina karyas nor of safety and progress but slip down as the center of 'upadravaas' or of 'Tapatrayas'.

[Vishleshana on Tapatrayas:

Adhi Bhoudika or Ailments of Physical Nature; Adhyatmika or of Mental-Psychological Nature; and Adhi Daivika or of Natural Calamities like Earth quakes, floods, lightnings etc. beyond human control. In Vishnu Purana: Maharshi Parashara described about Tapatriayas or the Three Kinds of Difficulties that all human beings are subjected to as also the means of realising the Paramartha Swarupa. The Tapatriayas originate due to Adhyatmika, Aadhi Daavika and Adhi Bhoutika reasons. Adhyatmika based Tapaas are either due to 'Shaaririka'(physical) ailments or 'Manasika' (psychological) imbalances. Shaaririka Tapaas include dieseases related to head, digestive, heart, breathing, vision, limbs, skin, fevers

and so on; related are the various physiological problems of blood-urinary-pelvic nature. Manasika Tapaas are related to Kama, Krodha, Bhaya, Dwesha, lobha, Moha, Vishada, Shoka, Asuya, Apamana, Irshya, Matsara etc. Adhi Bhoutika Tapaas are due to the difficulties attributed to animals, birds, Pishachaas, Serpents, Rakshasaas and poisonous related creatures like scorpions. The troubles on account of Adhidaivika nature are due to cold, heat, air, rains, drought, water, earthquakes, cyclones and so on. Additionally, the troubles are related to birth, childhood, youth, old age, ignorance, Avidya, loneliness, smell, lack of resources, poverty, immaturity, inexperience, lack of opportunity, fear of death, death itself and multiple kinds of experiences of Naraka. Maharshi Parashara emphasized that there are problems of excessive of opulence, excellent health, excessive youth, and such other excesses and some times ignorance is bliss. More so there could be Tapaas due to discriminations of sex, age, social status, experience, opportunity, family background; origin of birth viz. religion, Varnashrama and age. Disappoint -ments in life, more specifically relating to money and fame, including their earnings, perservation and its vinasha or destruction happen to be yet source of Tapatriya.]

The Sarga is continued:

' na hi pravrajite rāme jīviṣyati mahīpatiḥ, mṛte daśarathe vyaktam vilopas tadanantaram/ te viṣam pibatālodya ksīnapunyāh sudurgatāh, rāghavam vānugacchadhvam aśrutim vāpi gacchata/ The Public Voice affirms: 'As Rama had since left for 'vana vaasa', King Dashartha would die soon and simultaneously the Kingdom would get shattered. Thus may this be clear that the days of virtue and justice get terminated eventually. In such a dire situation, it would be preferable to gulp down poison, or follow Rama or leave this Kingdom to another and never take the name of Kaikeyi once again! mithyā pravrājito rāmah sabhāryah sahalaksmanah, bharate samnisrstāh smah saunike paśavo yathā/ The womanfolk of Ayodhya got agitated further that they were convinced of the villainess Kaikeyi trapping the King by strings of lies and threats in the name of 'dharma and nyaaya' managed to banish Rama and along with him Devi Sita and the ever faithful Lakshmana for as many years as fourteen tortuous years of life in dandakaranya so that they might not survive or get blurred on the mental screen of the public any way! We of the public thus get tied to Bharata; indeed our situation is of a sacrificial animal in the name of yagina thus being faced by a devil or the deep sea!' Thus the 'Nagara Strees' of Ayodhya were crying away highly agitated with 'mrityu bhaya' or of the fright of death soon! Meanwhile, the day was closed as Sunset occurred, the gloom of dark night was ushered in, as the sanatana grihas did not initiate the Agni karyas nor the vedaadhyayan of shrotriyas were heard, while markets were not even opened. The ever buzzling city of Ayodhya descended into darkness and of gloom.

Sarga Forty Nine

<u>Public of Kosala Janapada throng at the Chariot carrying Ramas who also cross Veda shruti-Gomati-Skandika rivers</u>

Rāmo 'pi rātriśeṣeṇa tenaiva mahad antaram, jagāma puruṣavyāghraḥ pitur ājñām anusmaran/ tathaiva gacchatas tasya vyapāyād rajanī śivā, upāsya sa śivām samdhyām viṣayāntam vyagāhata/ grāmān vikṛṣṭasīmāms tān puṣpitāni vanāni ca, paśyann atiyayau śīghram śarair iva hayottamaiḥ/ śṛṇvan vāco manuṣyāṇām grāmasamvāsavāsinām, rājānam dhig daśaratham kāmasya vaśam āgatam/ hā nṛśamsādya kaikeyī pāpā pāpānubandhinī, tīkṣṇā sambhinnamaryādā tīkṣṇe karmaṇi vartate/ yā putram īdṛśam rājñaḥ pravāsayati dhārmikam, vana vāse mahāprājñam sānukrośam atandritam/ etā vāco manuṣyāṇām grāmasamvāsavāsinām, śṛṇvann atiyayau vīraḥ kosalān kosaleśvaraḥ/ tato vedaśrutim nāma śivavāri -vahām nadīm, uttīryābhimukhaḥ prāyād agastyādhyuṣitām diśam/ gatvā tu suciram kālam tataḥ śītajalām nadīm, gomatīm goyutānūpām atarat sāgaramgamām/ gomatīm cāpy atikramya rāghavaḥ śīghragair hayaiḥ, mayūrahamsābhirutām tatāra syandikām nadīm/ sa mahīm manunā rājñā dattām ikṣvākave purā, sphītām rāṣṭrāvṛtām rāmo vaidehīm anvadarśayat/ sūta ity eva cābhāṣya sārathim tam abhīksnaśah, hamsamattasvarah śrīmān uvāca purusarsabhah/ kadāham punar āgamva saravvāh puspite

vane, mṛgayām paryāṭaṣyāmi mātrā pitrā ca samgataḥ, nātyartham abhikānkṣāmi mṛgayām sarayūvane, ratir hy eṣātulā loke rājarṣigaṇasammatā/ sa tam adhvānam aikṣvākaḥ sūtam madhurayā girā, tam tam artham abhipretya yayauvākyam udīrayan/

Rama during the night before kept on thinking about the happenings of the just concluded days and the state of affairs in Ayodhya especially about the welfare of his father. As the morning arrived, he performed his bathing-sandhya vandana, and so on get ready again to proceed further. As the chariot was moving forward through scatterings of petty villages and hamlets, comments from villagers were overheard such as: 'alas! the King ought not to have given weightage to the loose talks and empty threats of Queen Kaikeyi. Unfortunately, he was enticed by her and took most ill justified decisions. It was a great tragedy to have sent Rama for 'aranya vaasa' for no fault of his yet, he obeyed his most heinous instruc tions of Kaikeyi. That woman named Kaikeyi is a comtemptible and despicable specimen of womanhood of cruelty and ingratitude who should never cross one's memory screen as she forced the magnanimous King of virtue and maturiy to banish and hound Rama the epic hero with long and unheard hardship of forest life! Devi Sita the born princess who was only a giver but never a taker but was thrust with untold miseries that even a poor and below-ordinary female could ever imagine. Alas, a King of Dasharatha's stature had to perforce sacrifice a symbol of valour and virtue the unparalleled Shri Rama who was innocent of any misdeed in his lifetime even by slip of tongue, let alone of action.' Rama was truly shaken up by the kind of comments made by the village folk as per their own spontaneous reactions. Then having crossed the Kosala village, the chariot moved forward towards the river named 'Veda shruti' and having crossed it proceeded towards the southern direction for many hours and reached the banks of river Gomati with several ups and downs, besides drenches out of which the chariot encountered countless tortoises crossing the zig zag by lanes. After crossing River Gomati, the chariot reached the banks of River Skandika and there beyond were small hamlets known for huge agricultural fields as in ancient ages King Manu donated to the Ikashvaku King.

[Padma Purana is quoted: By dint of relentless Tapasya, Vaivaswata secured the boon from Brahma of becoming the Supreme Administrator of Prithvi of high virtue and Fortune and thus he became the First Manu Ever! Vaiwasvata Manu had ten sons, viz. Ila, Ikshvaaku, Kushanaabha, Arishta, Dhrushta, Arishyant, Karusha, Mahabali Sharyati, Purushaghna, Naabhaga and Ambarisha.]

Then Shri Rama exclaimed to Saradhi Sumanta: Alas! when indeed could I return and joyfully meet my dear parents and experience a picnic to the flowered and green gardens on the banks of River Sarayu ever!

Sarga Fifty

Ramas arrive at Shringavera pura on the banks of Ganga- stay overnight-and Nishada Raja Guha welcomes them

Viśālān kosalān ramyān yātvā lakṣmaṇapūrvajaḥ, āsasāda mahābāhuḥ śrṅgaverapuraṁ prati/ tatra tripathagām divyām śivatoyām aśaivalām, dadarśa rāghavo gaṅgām puṇyām rṣinisevitām/Jalaaghgataatuhasigram phena nirmalahaasineem, kvachid veneekritajalaam kvachidaavrita sevitaam/ haṃsasārasasaṃghuṣṭām cakravākopakūjitām, śimśumaraiś ca nakraiś ca bhujaṃgaiś ca niṣevitām/ tām ūrmikalilāvartām anvavekṣya mahārathaḥ, sumantram abravīt sūtam ihaivādya vasāmahe/ avidūrād ayaṁ nadyā bahupuṣpapravālavān, sumahān iṅgudīvrkṣo vasāmo 'traiva sārathe/ lakṣaṇaś ca sumantraś ca bāḍham ity eva rāghavam, uktvā tam iṅgudīvrkṣaṁ tadopayayatur hayaiḥ/ rāmo 'bhiyāya taṁ raṃyaṁ vrkṣam ikṣvākunandanaḥ, rathād avātarat tasmāt sabhāryaḥ sahalakṣmaṇaḥ/ sumantro 'py avatīryaiva mocayitvā hayottamān, vrkṣamūlagataṁ rāmam upatasthe krtāñjaliḥ/ tatra rājā guho nāma rāmasyātmasamaḥ sakhā, niṣādajātyo balavān sthapatiś ceti viśrutaḥ/ sa śrutvā puruṣavyāghraṁ rāmaṁ viṣayam āgatam, vrddhaiḥ parivrto 'mātyair jñātibhiś cāpy upāgataḥ/ tato niṣādādhipatiṁ dṛṣṭvā dūrād avasthitam, saha saumitrinā rāmah samāgacchad guhena sah/ tam ārtah saṃparisvajya guho rāghayam

abravīt, yathāyodhyā tathedam te rāma kim karavāni te/ tato gunavadannādyam upādāya prthagyidham, arghyam copānayat ksipram vākyam cedam uvāca ha/ svāgatam te mahābāho taveyam akhilā mahī, vayam preşyā bhavān bhartā sādhu rājyam praśādhi naḥ/ bhakṣyam bhojyam ca peyam ca lehyam cedam upasthitam/ śayanāni ca mukhyāni vājinām khādanam ca te/ guham eva bruvānam tam rāghavah pratyuvāca ha, arcitāś caiva hrstāś ca bhavatā sarvathā vavam/ padbhyām abhigamāc caiva snehasamdarśanena ca, bhujābhyām sādhuvṛttābhyām pīḍayan vākyam abravīt/ diṣṭyā tvām guha paśyāmi arogam saha bāndhavaiḥ, api te kūśalam rāṣṭre mitreṣu ca dhaneṣu ca/yat tv idam bhavatā kim cit prītyā samupakalpitam, sarvam tad anujānāmi na hi varte pratigrahe/ kuśacīrājinadharam phalamūlāśanam ca mām, viddhi pranihitam dharme tāpasam vanagocaram/ aśvānām khādanenāham arthī nānyena kena cit, etāvatātrabhavatā bhavisyāmi supūjitah/ ete hi dayitā rājñah pitur daśarathasya me, etaih suvihitair aśvair bhavisyāmy aham arcitah/ aśvānām pratipānam ca khādanam caiva so 'nvaśāt, guhas tatraiva purusāms tvaritam dīyatām iti/ tataś cīrottarāsangah samdhyām anvāsya paścimām, jalam evādade bhojyam laksmanenāhrtam svayam/ tasya bhūmau śayānasya pādau praksālya lakṣmaṇaḥ, sabhāryasya tato 'bhyetya tasthau vṛkṣam upāśritaḥ/ guho 'pi saha sūtena saumitrim anubhāsayan, anyajāgrat tato rāmam apramatto dhanurdharah/ tathā śayānasya tato 'sya dhīmato; yaśasvino dāśarather mahātmanaḥ, adṛṣṭaduḥkhasya sukhocitasya sā; tadā vyatīyāya cireṇa śarvarī

Thus taking leave of crossing the border of Koshala Desha's border, Shri Rama exclaimed to Lakshmana and bid good-bye to Ayodhya; he stated that it was that glorious city which has had the distinction of being administered by Kakuthsa Kings and would return to it one day and repay his indebtedness to it as he should long to meet his dear parents. Then with tears flowing from his eyes, he addressed the residents of 'janapada' and said that it was rather late that they had been waiting for us to reach here and thanked them profusely for their patient waiting. He then got down from the chariot accompanied by Sita Lakshmanas and greeted the janapadas after pradakshinas, just as at the 'pradosha kaala' the devotees perform the self -circumambulations around Surya Deva. There after Rama Sita Lakshmanas witnessed the picturesque view of 'Pavitra Ganga' and the cool breezes flowing across and noticed that groups of Sages were busy with their services. The Holy Ganga could be imagined that Apsaras were bathing in the far depths of the flows while Deva- Danava-Gandhrarva- Kinnaras were enhancing the purity of their innerselves what with the uniqueness of Parama Shiva and his 'jataajutaas' with standing the force of its descent from the high skies thanks to Bhagiratha the grand forefather of Rama's ancestry. The earthshaking thuds and reverberations down the unimaginable mountain tops, the flows of Ganga appear to form a 'Shiva jataajuta'- or 'Veni samudaya', the 'warp and woof' or the weavings of yarn threads across and straight! The 'jatajuta' as was thus frmed was like an immortal string of honey bees!

[Vishleshana on Parama Shiva's 'Jataajuta' vide Sarga Forty Three of Valmiki Baala Ramayana is quoted: Maharshi Vishvamitra addressed Shri Rama that after Brahma Deva gave the boon to Bhagiratha who was literally standing with heightened foot fingers, the latter got busy as immersed in invoking Maha Deva. Subsequently Pashupati Shiva too appeared and confirmed: Prītas te 'ham naraśrestha karisyāmi tava priyam, śirasā dhārayişyāmi śailarājasutām aham/ tato haimavatī jyeşṭhā sarvalokanamaskṛtā, tadā sātimahad rūpam krtvā vegam ca duḥsaham, ākāśād apatad rāma śive śivaśirasy uta/ Narashreshtha! I am pleased with your inhuman determination and selfless dedication to some how usher Devi Ganga down to earth and provide salvation to your ancestors; indeed I shall be delighted to fulfil your ambition and help to hold the mighty flows of Ganga into my 'jataajuta' the twisted and coarse head hairs from 'akaasha'. Then Shri Rama! As Paramashiva sanctioned Bhagirath's life time ambition, Himalaya Deva's elder daughter and Devi Parvati's elder sister Devi Ganga readily consented but had only one reservation that as she jumps down to Shiva's jatajuta the flows might further flow down to Patala instead of being held on earth itself! Shiva realised Devi Gangas impertinent remark and decided that he would hide her flows right into his jatajutas. Then Devi Ganga jumped down on Shiva mastaka and he held the flows which got instantly absorbed in the jatajutas. The flows of Ganga lost their way in the labyrinthins of Shiva's jataajuta and the forceful flows could not even reach earth, let alone down to Patala as Ganga wondered. Bhagiratha who had wondered as to where the flows disappeared and once

again resorted to deep meditation to Maha Shiva. The latter released one of the forceful flows of Ganga to fall down to Bindu Sarovara as they assumed seven flows of which Hladini-Paavani and Nalini turned east; while Suchakshu-Seeta-and Mahanadi Sindhu flowed westward. Saptamichanvgaat taasaam Bhageeradham tadaa, Bageerayopi Raajarshi divyam syandanamaasthitah/ Praayadagne mahatejaa gangaatam chaapyanuvrajat, gaganaacchhankara shirastato dharanimaagataa/ The seventh flow of Gangafollowed the chariot of Bhagiratha, he had thus accomplished the unique task of bringing Ganga from Shiva's head down to the his following! As the flows of Ganga followed thus, the speed and ferocity of the waves attracted fishes, tortoises and various water borne species joined as earth appeared to have become far richer thereafter. This superb attraction happening on earth instantly raised the curiosity of the celestial beings as though thousand more Suryas got presented by themselkves. As the flows of Ganga got stabilised with speed and thrust gradually near normalcy reached and got widened from bank to bank pushing houses and crop fields too. Gandharvas and several Devas gradually gatherd themselves as the flows of Ganga rolled down from Shiva's head and his unimaginable hairs themselves and eventually crowds of angels took to heartily taking in the pure sweetness of the waters, bathing in them and swimming too thouroughly revelling in the irresistible flows. And so do humans and innumerable other species especially due to their firm and proven belief of the sacred flows and even drops of 'Ganjajala'. In this context, Brahmarshi Vishvamitra addressing Shri Rama affirmed that Deva-Rishi-Daitya-Danava, Rakshasa, Gandharva, Yaksha, Kinnara, Naaga, Sarpa, Apsaras, all the entirety of water species, besides men, women, and animals made fast inroads into the ever purifying flows of Sacred Ganga. Ta to hi yajamaanasya Jahnordbhutakarmanah, gangaa saplaavayaamaasa yagjnavaatam mahatmanah/ Tasyaavalepanam inaatyaa kruddhho Jahnuscha Ragahya, apibat tu jalam saryam Gangaayaah paramadbhutam/ As the flows of Ganga are fierce and roaring with nasty sounds, Rajarshi Jahnu was performing a maha yagina, and the furious flows of Ganga entered right into the yagina vedika; the Rajarshi got terribly furious at the alleged arrogance of Ganga and thus drank up the River waters totally in a manner that not even a drop of the River remained on earth. Deva Gandharva Rishis were shocked and stunned at the crisis and prayed collectively to very kindly revive Ganga once again stating that he was a father figure and Devi Ganga his daughter. The Rajarshi was pleased with the prayers and finally released Ganga through his ears and the father daughter relationship got universal recognition eversince.]

Further Stanzas continued: As the high sounds of swan groups are reverberating, swarms of chakravaaka birds too were enhancing the exquisiteness of the scenery. The buzz of honey bees on the cool waves of Ganga and was clearly audible to the ears further adding to the striking charm, Rama was tempted and instructed Sumanta that they would all spend the night there on the banks of Ganga itself. He further stated that not far away he was informed that there should been a huge 'Ingudeeka Vriksha' with heavy and high branches with ripe and sweet fruits with mangifecent setting of scenery of Ganga and that they would like to carry them upto that point for leaving the chariot. As they got down and were refresh ing themselves with great contentment, the horses were freed too for the night. Tatra rājā guho nāma rāmasyātmasamah sakhā, nisādajātyo balavān sthapatis ceti visrutah/ sa srutvā purusayyāghram rāmam visayam āgatam, vrddhaih parivrto 'mātvair jñātibhiś cāpy upāgatah' In the principality of Shringa verapura on the banks og Ganga, there was a Chieftain of Fishermen and Boatsmen named 'Guha', who birth was a 'nishada' a hunter in forests, who was sturdy and hefty in physique but buttery of mind and of vitue. Guha was informed by the villagers on his way that great hero of Ayodyha Shri Rama was on his way to the banks of Ganga. He came to realise the outlines of the background of Rama as recognisable not in royal dresses but in deer skins. Guha on reaching the presence of Rama, he had instantly recognised and embraced Rama the 'purushottama'. He broke into crying and begged Rama that he was totally at the command of what all service that could be extended. Guha declared that his entire local authority was at his disposal and offered the bhakshya-bhojya-lehya-choshya-paaneeyas, comfortable beds and seats to the outstanding guests. Rama was truly overwhelmed with the hospitality arrangements and assured that he was extremely grateful for the services. He however stated: kuśacīrājinadharam phalamūlāśanam ca mām, viddhi praṇihitam dharme tāpasam vanagocaram/ As our requirements are to abide and to follow the dress codes and food regulations that necessitate our ways of living ahead, hence the varieties of eats

and drinks are forbidden and hence be returned with gratitude. We are to be dressed by mriga charmas and sustain by consuming kanda-moola-phalas. All the same, we would be happy by taking care of the horses of the chariot and what all you could do for them should be welcomed most. King Dasharatha was particularly concerned of the proper care of these horses of divine like attachement. Then having performed sandhya vandana and frugal eating, Rama and Sita rested on the well arranged 'kusha graasa' beds. But Lakshmana and Guha continued their conversation particularly about the recent developments at Ayodhya.

Sarga Fifty One

Lakshmana - Guha feel and exchange expressions of sadness

Tam jāgratam adambhena bhrātur arthāya lakṣmaṇam, guhaḥ samtāpasamtapto rāghavam vākyam abravīt/ iyam tāta sukhā śayyā tvadartham upakalpitā, pratyāśvasihi sādhv asyām rājaputra vathāsukham/ ucito 'vam janah sarvah kleśānām tvam sukhocitah, gupyartham jāgarisvāmah kākutstha sya vayam niśām/ na hi rāmāt priyataro mamāsti bhuvi kaś cana, bravīmy etad aham satyam satyenaiva ca te śape/ asya prasādād āśamse loke 'smin sumahad yaśaḥ, dharmāvāptim ca vipulām arthāvāptim ca kevalām/ so 'ham priyasakham rāmam śayānam saha sītayā, raksisyāmi dhanuspānih sarvato jñātibhih saha/ na hi me 'viditam kim cid vane 'smim's caratah sadā, caturangam hy api balam sumahat prasahemahi/ lakṣmaṇas taṁ tadovāca rakṣyamāṇās tvayānagha, nātra bhītā vayaṁ sarve dharmam evānupaśvatā/ katham dāśarathau bhūmau śayāne saha sītayā, śakyā nidrā mayā labdhum jīvitam vā sukhāni vā/ yo na devāsuraiḥ sarvaiḥ śakyaḥ prasahitum yudhi, tam paśya sukhasamviṣṭam tṛṇeṣu saha sītayā/ yo mantra tapasā labdho vividhaiś ca pariśramaih, eko daśarathasyaisa putrah sadrśalaksanah/ asmin pravrajito rājā na ciram vartavisvati, vidhavā medinī nūnam ksipram eva bhavisvati/ vinadya sumahānādam śramenoparatāh striyah, nirghosoparatam tāta manye rājaniveśanam, kausalyā caiva rājā ca tathaiva jananī mama, nāśamse vadi jīvanti sarve te śarvarīm imām/ jīved api hi me mātā śatrughnasyānvavekṣayā, tad duḥkham yat tu kausalyā vīrasūr vinaśiṣyati/ anuraktajanākīrnā sukhālokaprivāvahā, rājavvasanasamsrstā sā purī vinasisvati/ atikrāntam atikrāntam anavāpva manoratham, rājye rāmam aniksipya pitā me vinaśisyati/ siddhārthāh pitaram yrttam tasmin kāle hy upasthite, pretakāryeşu sarveşu samskarişyanti bhūmipam/ramyacatvarasamsthānām suvibhakta mahāpathām, harmyaprāsādasampannām ganikāvarasobhitām/ rathāsvagajasambādhām tūryanādavināditām, sarvakalyānasampūrnām hrstapustajanākulām/ ārāmodyānasampannām samājotsavaśālinīm, sukhitā vicarisyanti rājadhānīm pitur mama/ api satyapratijñena sārdham kuśalinā vayam, nivṛtte vanavāse 'sminn ayodhyām praviśemahi/ paridevayamānasya duhkhārtasya mahātmanah, tisthato rājaputrasya śarvarī sātyavartata/ tathā hi satyam bruvati prajāhite; narendraputre, guru sauhrdād guhah, mumoca bāṣpam vyasanābhipīdito; jvarāturo nāga iva vyathāturah/ Nishada Raja Guha then initiated conversation with Lakshmana about the singularly fascinating topic of the outstanding cynosure Shri Rama. na hi rāmāt priyataro mamāsti bhuvi kaś cana, bravīmy etad aham satyam satyenaiva ca te śape/ Lakshmana declared: 'I am proud to declare unilaterally that in my life time there could be no other personality that fascinates me like Shri Rama on the face of earth and that it should be by his grace that one even like me could attain the fulfillment of the chaturvidha purushardhas of dharma-artha- kaama-mokshas in one's very life. I would ever keep vigilant to ensure the security of Sita Ramas even as they rest peacefully by keeping my 'dhanur banaas' ready. As I have the natural instinct of knowing each and every movement of the forests, even the 'chaturanga sena' of the enemies could be put to frustration and crumbling disapearance by total extinction. Lakshmana continued: ' Dharmapara Nishada King! Persons upholding the values of virtue are never defeated and are fearless. Rama along with Sita therefore experiences the same ease and comfort as on plush beds of luxury while lying on drygrass natural beds; simirarly a 'mahaanubhaaya' like Rama gets similar taste of 'kanda moola phalaas' and pancha bhakshyaas alike. Even all such other comforts and luxuries of human life are of no consequence to the oustanding human in the garb of a top celestial like Rama! Indeed, King Dasharatha who had been all through his life practised the tenets of Dharma like upasana of Gayatri,' krucchha

chandraayana vrataas', yagjnaanushthaana and so on and that was how, Rama was borm as his son! Now, as Rama was uprooted to forest life 'willy nilly' under the shadow of dharma, King Dasharadha's life time has to get termiated sooner or latter and Devi Koushalya like Mother Earth herself would get widowhood. The womanhood of the 'Rani vaasa' would soon scream and seek to beak their hearts but would eventually reconcile to realities of existence. It might be an exclamatory mark whether the queen mothers of Kousalya and Sumitra might or might not absorb the shock of father's absence. Then Lakshmana poses the questions: *Api jeevedDasharatho vanavaasaat punarvayam,pratyaagamya mahaatmaanapi pashyaama suvratam/ api satyapratijñena sārdhaṁ kuśalinā vayam, nivṛtte vanavāse 'sminn ayodhyām praviśemahi/* Whether King Dasharatha would survive the return of three of us and obtain his personal blessings! Whether Rama as accompanied by us would re-enter Ayodhya happily and successfully!.' Thus Lakshmana kept on discussing the various issues raised by him to Guha the Nishada King through out the night!

Sarga Fifty Two

Guha navigates Sita Rama Lakshmanas across Ganga- Rama bids farewell to the reluctant Sumamtra-Sita's intense prayers to the Sacred Ganga- after crossing Ganga reach Vatsa desha for night halt.

Prabhātāyām tu śarvaryām pṛthu vṛkṣā mahāyaśāḥ, uvāca rāmaḥ saumitrim lakṣmanam śubhalakṣanam/ bhāskarodayakālo 'yam gatā bhagavatī niśā, asau sukṛṣṇo vihagaḥ kokilas tāta kūjati/ barhiṇānām ca nirghoṣaḥ śrūyate nadatām vane, tarāma jāhnavīm saumya śīghragām sāgaramgamām/ vijñāya rāmasya vacah saumitrir mitranandanah, guham āmantrya sūtam ca so 'tisthad bhrātur agratah/ tatah kalāpān samnahya khadgau baddhvā ca dhanvinau, jagmatur yena tau gangām sītayā saha rāghavau/ rāmam eva tu dharmajñam upagamya vinītavat, kim aham karavānīti sūtah prāñjalir abravīt/ nivartasvety uvācainam etāvad dhi kṛtam mama, yānam vihāya padbhyām tu gamisyāmo mahāyanam/ātmānam tv abhyanujñātam avekṣyārtaḥ sa sārathiḥ, sumantraḥ puruṣavyāghram aikṣvākam idam abravīt/ nātikrāntam idam loke puruseneha kena cit, tava sabhrātrbhārvasva vāsah prākrtavad vane/ na manye brahmacarve 'sti svadhīte vā phalodavah, mārdavārjavavor vāpi tvām ced vyasanam āgatam/ saha rāghava vaidehyā bhrātrā caiva vane vasan, tvam gatim prāpsyase vīra trīmil lokāms tu jayann iva/ vayam khalu hatā rāma ye tayāpy upavañcitāh, kaikeyyā vaśam esyāmah pāpāyā duhkhabhāginah/iti bruvann ātma samam sumantrah sārathis tadā, drstvā dura gatam rāmam duhkhārto rurude ciram/ tatas tu vigate bāspe sūtam sprstodakam śucim, rāmas tu madhuram vākyam punah punar uvāca tam/ iksvākūnām tvayā tulyam suhrdam nopalaksaye, yathā daśaratho rājā mām na śocet tathā kuru/ śokopahata cetāś ca vṛddhaś ca jagatīpatiḥ, kāma bhārāvasannaś ca tasmād etad bravīmi te/ yad yad ājñāpayet kim cit sa mahātmā mahīpatiḥ, kaikeyyāḥ priyakāmārtham kāryam tad avikānkṣayā/ etadartham hi rājyāni praśāsati nareśvarāḥ, yad eṣām sarvakṛtyeṣu mano na pratihanyate/ tad yathā sa mahārājo nālīkam adhigacchati, na ca tāmvati duhkhena sumantra kuru tat tathā/ adrstaduhkham rājānam vrddham ārvam jitendrivam, brūvās tvam abhivādvaiva mama hetor idam vacah/ naivāham anuśocāmi lakṣmaṇo na ca maithilī, ayodhyāyāś cyutāś ceti vane vatsyāmaheti vā/ caturdaśasu varṣeṣu nivrttesu punah punah, laksmanam mām ca sītām ca draksyasi ksipram āgatān/ evam uktvā tu rājānam mātaram ca sumantra me, anyāś ca devīh sahitāh kaikeyīm ca punah punah/ārogyam brūhi kausalyām atha pādābhivandanam, sītāyā mama cārvasya vacanāl laksmanasya ca/ brūyāś ca hi mahārājam bharatam kşipram ānaya, āgataś cāpi bharatah sthāpyo nṛpamate pade/ bharatam ca pariṣvajya yauvarājye 'bhişicya ca, asmatsamtāpajam duḥkham na tvām abhibhavişyati/ bharataś cāpi vaktavyo yathā rājani vartase, tathā mātṛṣu vartethāh sarvāsv evāviśeṣataḥ/ yathā ca tava kaikeyī sumitrā cāviśeṣataḥ, tathaiva devī kausalyā mama mātā viśeṣataḥ/ nivartyamāno rāmeṇa sumantraḥ śokakarśitah, tat sarvam vacanam śrutvā snehāt kākutstham abravīt/ yad aham nopacārena brūyām snehād aviklavah, bhaktimān iti tat tāvad vākyam tvam ksantum arhasi/ katham hi tvadvihīno 'ham pratiyāsyāmi tām purīm, tava tāta viyogena putraśokākulām iva/ sarāmam api tāvan me ratham dṛṣṭvā tadā janah, vinā rāmam ratham drstvā vidīrvetāpi sā purī/ dainvam hi nagarī gacched drstvā śūnvam

imam ratham, sūtāvaśesam svam sainyam hatavīram ivāhave/ dūre 'pi nivasantam tvām mānasenāgratah sthitam, cintayantyo 'dya nūnam tvām nirāhārāh krtāh prajāh/ ārtanādo hi yah paurair muktas tadvipravāsane, rathastham mām niśāmyaiva kuryuh śatagunam tatah/ aham kim cāpi vakṣyāmi devīm tava suto mayā, nīto 'sau mātulakulam samtāpam mā kṛthā iti asatyam api naivāham brūyām vacanam īdrśam, katham apriyam evāham brūvām satvam idam vacah/ mama tāvan nivogasthās tvadbandhu janavāhinah, katham ratham tvayā hīnam pravaksyanti hayottamāh/ yadi me yācamānasya tyāgam eva karişyasi, saratho 'gnim pravekşyāmi tyakta mātra iha tvayā/ bhavişyanti vane yāni tapovighnakarāṇi te, rathena pratibādhişye tāni sattvāni rāghava/ tat kṛtena mayā prāptam ratha caryā kṛtam sukham, āśamse tvatkrtenāham vanavāsakrtam sukham/ prasīdecchāmi te 'ranye bhavitum pratyanantarah, prītyābhitam icchāmi bhava me patyanantarah/ tava śuśrūsanam mūrdhnā karisyāmi vane vasan, ayodhyām devalokam vā sarvathā prajahāmy aham/ hi śakyā pravestum sā mayāyodhyā tvayā vinā, rājadhānī mahendrasya yathā duskṛtakarmanā/ ime cāpi hayā vīra yadi te vanavāsinah, paricaryām karisyanti prāpsyanti paramām gatim/ vanavāse kṣayam prāpte mamaiṣa hi manorathaḥ, yad anena rathenaiva tvām vaheyam purīm punaļ/ caturdaśa hi varṣāṇi sahitasya tvayā vane, kṣaṇabhūtāni yāsyanti śataśas tu tato 'nyathā/ bhṛtyavatsala tiṣṭhantam bhartṛputragate pathi, bhaktam bhṛtyam sthitam sthityām tvam na mām hātum arhasi/ evam bahuvidham dīnam yācamānam punah, rāmo bhṛtyānukampī tu sumantram idam abravīt/ jānāmi paramām bhaktim mayi te bhartrvatsala, śṛṇu cāpi yadartham tvām presayāmi purīm itah/ nagarīm tvām gatam drstvā jananī me yavīyasī, kaikevī pratyayam gacched iti rāmo vanam gatah/ paritustā hi sā devi vanavāsam gate mayi, rājānam nātiśanketa mithyāvādīti dhārmikam/ eşa me prathamaḥ kalpo yad ambā me yavīyasī, bharatārakṣitam sphītam putrarājyam avāpnuyāt/ mama priyārtham rājñaś ca sarathas tvam purīm vraja, samdistas cāsi yānarthāms tāms tān brūyās tathātathā/ ity uktvā vacanam sūtam sāntvayitvā punaḥ, guham vacanam aklībam rāmo hetumad abravīt, jaṭāḥ kṛtvā gamiṣyāmi nyagrodhakṣīram ānaya/ tat kṣīram rājaputrāya guhaḥ kṣipram upāharat, laksmanasyātmanas caiva rāmas tenākaroj jatāh/ tau tadā cīravasanau jatāmandaladhārinau, aśobhetām rsisamau bhrātarau rāmalaksmanau/ tato vaikhānasam mārgam āsthitah sahalaksmanah, vratam ādistavān rāmah sahāyam guham abravīt/ apramatto bale kośe durge janapade tathā, bhavethā guha rājyam hi durārakṣatamam matam/ tatas tam samanujñāya guham ikṣvākunandanaḥ, jagāma tūrnam avvagrah sabhārvah sahalaksmanah/ sa tu drstvā nadītīre nāvam iksvākunandanah, titīrsuh śīghragām gangām idam laksmanam abravīt/ āroha tvam nara vyāghra sthitām nāvam imām śanaih, sītām cāropayānvakṣam parigṛhya manasvinīm/ sa bhrātuḥ śāsanam śrutvā sarvam apratikūlayan, āropya maithilīm pūrvam ārurohātmavāms tatah/ athāruroha tejasvī svayam laksmanapūrvajah, tato nisādādhipatir guho jñātīn acodayat/ anujñāya sumantram ca sabalam caiva tam guham, āsthāya nāvam rāmas tu codayām āsa nāvikān/ tatas taiś coditā sā nauh karnadhārasamāhitā, śubhasphyavegābhihatā śīghram salilam atyagāt/ madhyam tu samanuprāpya bhāgīrathyās tv aninditā, vaidehī prāñjalir bhūtvā tām nadīm idam abravīt/ putro daśarathasyāyam mahārājasya dhīmataḥ, nideśam pālayatv enam gange tvadabhirakşitah/ caturdaśa hi varṣāṇi samagrāṇy uṣya kānane, bhrātrā saha mayā caiva punah pratyāgamişyati/ tatas tvām devi subhage kṣemeṇa punar āgatā, yakṣye pramuditā gaṅge sarvakāmasamrddhave/ tvam hi tripathagā devi brahma lokam samīksase, bhārvā codadhirājasva loke 'smin sampradṛśyase' sā tvām devi namasyāmi praśamsāmi ca śobhane, prāpta rājye naravyāghra śivena punar āgate/ gavām śatasahasrāṇi vastrāṇy annam ca peśalam, brāhmaṇebhyaḥ pradāsyāmi tava priyacikīrsayā/ tathā sambhāsamānā sā sītā gaṇgām aninditā, daksinā daksinam tīram ksipram evābhyupāgamat/ tīram tu samanuprāpya nāvam hitvā nararsabhah, prātisthata saha bhrātrā vaidehyā ca paramtapah/ athābravīn mahābāhuh sumitrānandavardhanam, agrato gaccha saumitre sītā tvām anugacchatu/ pṛṣṭhato 'ham gamiṣyāmi tvām ca sītām ca pālayan, adya duḥkham tu vaidehī vanavāsasya vetsyati/ gatam tu gangāparapāram āśu; rāmam sumantrah pratatam nirīksya, adhvaprakarṣād vinivṛttadṛṣṭir; mumoca bāṣpam vyathitas tapasvī/ tau tatra hatvā caturo mahāmṛgān; varāham ṛśyam pṛṣatam mahārurum, ādāya medhyam tvaritam bubhukṣitau; vāsāya kāle yayatur vanaspatim/

Rama addressed Lakshmana that as the daw n had arrived and the birds had begun their chirruppings, it should be time for departure and to gradually start crossing the vast and holy Ganga! Lakshmana alerted Sumantra and Nishada Raja Guha alike. The latter commanded to get a suitable boat ready and got the

indication of its readiness too. Meanwhile Rama Lakshmanas too got ready with their respective body sheaths, arrows, swords etc. along with Devi Sita and arrived at the banks of the river. Sumantra was then instructed to return to King Dasharatha and seek his blessings even as the 'sarathi' broke into uninterrupted sobbings. He said: Raghunandana! This manner of your having to leave for 'aranya vaasa' along with your 'paativratya sahadharmacharini' wife and the ever obedient Lakshmana is not only unprecedented but also historic for all times to come. That this maha purusha who has been exemplary with Vedadhyayana-brahmacharyapalana- and phala siddhi standing unique in human form is being subjected to this cruelty is beyond comprehension. Shri Rama! This is truthfully fateful that along with the citizens of the kingdom we are having to bear this misfortune on one side and the further days of cruelty and disaster having to bear future times of hardship at the misfortune at the hands of the villionous Kaikeyi too.' As Sumantra kept on pouring his heart out for long, Rama replied: My dear Sumantra! As per my reckoning there might not be any other loyal human to Ikshvaku vamsha like you. Now on return to Ayodhya, your prime responsibility to convince King Dasharatha to nomalcy as soon as possible. On the one hand King Dasharatha has since turned old and weak physically and additionally he is terribly agitated at the tragic and disastrious scenes mentanly too. This is precisely why whatever instructions that the King commands especially those which would please Devi Kaikeyi be assiduously followed at once. My personal request to you dear Sumantra by your swearing on me! Never ever utter one word that might not hurt the sentiment of the great King Dasharatha and possibly seek to assuage his agitated feelings to light hearted expressions of relief and hope. Sumantra! naivāham anuśocāmi laksmano na ca maithilī, ayodhyāyāś cyutāś ceti vane vatsyāmaheti vā/ caturdaśasu varṣeṣu nivṛtteṣu punaḥ punaḥ, lakṣmaṇam mām ca sītām ca draksyasi kṣipram āgatān/ May we viz. Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas are neither stating nor feeling bad about; this assurance be kindly conveyed to Maha Raja. On the other hand, we should surely return to Ayodhya and meet me, Sita and Lakshmana. Sumatra! You should also convey the pleasant news of our welfare to our mothers, especially to Devi Kaikeyi too. Further to mother Koushalya, may this be intimated that we especially from Devi Sita and Lakshmanas too are seeking to prostrate before her. Sumantra! Kindly do on our behalf request Maha Raja to forthwith ask Bharata to return soon and take over the responsibilities awaiting him so that the 'yuvarajatva' be bestowed on him at the earliest.On the arrival of Bharata do please convey to him as from me that he should treat all the mothers as his own. He may also conveyed that he should straight away take obey the instruction of the father to assume the yuvarajatva and that would be indeed the gateway to contentment of 'iha' and 'paralokas' As Shri Rama devoted considerable time to Sumantra conveying the do's and don't's on his return to Ayodhya, Sumantra too made a few submissions to Shri Rama: 'Shri Rama! What ever is going to be submitted to you as your faithful devotee be kindly excused; how could I return to Ayodhya as though nothing amiss had ever happened. As soon as the public should become aware that I would return without Rama-Sita-Lalkshmanas, they should at once react agitatedly. They should feel that the chariot would be returning having been defeated and merely the charioteer was returning dejectedly. dūre 'pi nivasantam tvām mānasenāgratah sthitam, cintayantyo 'dya nūnam tvām nirāhārāh kṛtāh prajāh artanādo hi vah paurair muktas tadvipravāsane, rathastham mām niśāmyaiva kurvuh śatagunam tatah/ aham kim cāpi vaksvāmi devīm tava suto mavā, nīto 'sau mātulakulam samtāpam mā krthā it' asatvam api naivāham brūvām vacanam īdṛśam, katham apriyam evāham brūyām satyam idam vacaḥ/Even as you are far away, the public should be feeling that you are very near to their hearts and most understandably worried awaiting my return without taking food and even water! Indeed, you had heard the agitated cryings and shoutings at high pitch of the public. Most certainly, on witnessing my return to the city would attract rebounding agitations once again. On meeting Devi Kousalya on my return to Ayodhya, should I inform her that you were safely despatched to his 'sasuraal' or your father in law's residence and that should be why she might not worry at all! How could I hide this ugly untruth that I had to leave behind at the care of the unknown and unimaginable jungle living for very long time. Rama! How on earth you could wish me safe return to Ayodhya being fully aware that the recalcitrant and obstinate horses tied to the chariot would seek to return to Rama by the reverse route. Raghu nandana! That is the precise reason why he should not ask me to return to Ayodhya but instead instruct me to accompany you; other wise I would like to jump in to fire along with the chariot. If only you allow me to stay back, I would ensure that no cruel animal

could disturb your peace of mind and chase away by the chariot; That would be on the analogy of even an outstanding 'dharma parayana' could enter into Indra Loka but not a human who could enter Ayodhya without you! *Chaturdaśa hi varṣāṇi sahitasya tvayā vane, kṣaṇabhūtāni yāsyanti śataśas tu tato* 'nyathā/My ambition is to return to Ayodhya along with you after the fourteen year 'vana vaasa'; indeed, the fourteen year period should be over like within fourteen minutes if I were to be with you!' In this manner, Sumantra had sincerely begged of Rama to allow him during the vana vaasa period. Then Rama replied to say: 'Sumantra! I am totally aware of your intense devotion for me but when you would return to Ayodhya, then only Devi Kaikeyi would be actually convinced that we had been despatched for the 'vana vaasa'. Without convincing in this manner, even Dharmatma King Dasharatha might wonder as to why Sumantra had not returned yet! In fact, without your non- return might raise a doubt in the mind of Devi Kaikeyi whether there might not be any concern for Bharat's free Rajyabhisheka!' Rama thus convincingly replied to Sumantra and finally succeeded to despatch him. Then Rama addressed Nishada Raja Guha that it would not be proper for him and Sita- Lakshmana to attract further attention of the passers by and proceed at once to cross the River. Then Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas hurried up to change the dress of deer skins as of Munis by finally assuming the 'yanaprastha dharma'.

[Vishleshana on Vaanaprastha Dharma as quoted brom Manu Smriti -Aachaara Khanda:

Every snaataka Dwija pursuant to the Grihastaashrama into the Vaanaprastha stage of life should pursue the Vidhis or principles of dharma with determination and 'indriva nigrah', while aging with wrinkles and white hair as per the pratice of generations after generation. He might even discard cultivation entrusting him to sons and retire into forests with his wife but retaining his duty of the daily 'agni karyas' along with the required implements being prepared for eating fruits and roots, and wearing old yet clean clothes and unshaven beards or hairs yet with bathings in mornings and evenings esuring 'baahyaantara shuchi'. He should offer 'bali' to share his food with creatures and insects, give away charities and perform 'atithi seva' as per his ability, as also daily vedaadhyayana. Vaitaanikam cha juhuyaadagnihotram yathaavidhi, darshamaskandayan parva paurnaa -maasam cha yogatah/Riksheshtyaagrayanaam chaiva chaaturmaa syaani chaaharet, turaayanam cha kramasho dakshasyaayanameva cha/ Vaitaanikaagni is called the merger of Aahavaneeva and Dakshinaagi and thus performing the Vaitaagni as prescribed is what is expected of dwija during the vaanaprastaashrama stage of life. At the same time, he should not slip away from the duty of 'ishti karyas' of agni on darsha pourami and amavasyas. The prescribed shrota karmas of Nakshatreshti and Aagraayaneshti be neglected nor those during Chaaturmasyas and at Uttaraayana-Dakshinaayana transition days of Surya Deva's directional changes. The Vaanaprastha Prajas are also required to perform homa karyas with the purodasa cakes and boiled karus prepared by their own hands of fresh grains of Vasanta or Sharad ritu crops and the remains after the homa krivas be eaten by themselves as tempered with salt. They should otherwise eat the vegetables, roots and fruits as also the dried fruits and oil exracts but avoiding madya-maamsas and banned fruits like bhurina-shighrukasleshmaankas as also honey. During the month of Ashviyuja, one should discard stored food items or old clothes. The Vaanaprasthaa should only consume food cooked by fire or ripened as fruits duly emaciated by teeth or pulped or digestible or of grinding tools. Naktam chaannam samashneeyaadhivaa vaaahritya shaktitah, chaturthakaaliko vaa syaat syaad vaapyashtamakaalikah/ Chaandraayanavidhaanairvaa shuklakrisnecha vartayet, pakshaantayorvaapyashneeyaad yavaagum kvathitaam sakrit/ or food be consumed as nakta bhojana that is to refrain from eating as per one's ability or take food either in the day or night, keep 'upavaasa' or fasting till the next night or the day there after till the fourth day. Chaandraayana bhojana involves reducing the fistful food intakes from prathama to amaavasya and in the reverse way from prathama to purnima during krishna paksha and shukla paksha respectively. As an alternative, the Vaanaprasthas might always subsist on flowers, fruits and roots fallen on earth. Besides performing 'trikaala snaanas' or mornings-middays and evenings,a Vaanaprastha should practise 'Panchaagni saadhana' or maintaining four fires around, besides Surya on the sky during greeshma months; the rainy season under the open skies and in the hemannta ritu or of winter season wearing wet clothes to always sustain the rigours of austerities. At the time of 'trikaala snaanas' in mornings-middays and evenings, tarpanas to Devas and Pitru Devas be executed and possibly achieve higher levels of

asceticism. In the quest for harshness and severity of one's own body and psyche, the vaanaprastha might be seated in the midst of sacred fires around and within under open skies sans shelter, maintain silence and bare subsistence on meagre intakes of roots and fruits. *Etaashchaanyaashcha seveta deeksha vipro vane vasan, vividhaashchau panishadeer aatmasansiddhaye shruteeh/Rishibhirbraahmanaishchaiva grihasthaireva sevitaah, vidyaatapo vivriddhyartham shareerasya cha shuddhaye/* or even the afore -mentioned vannaprastha dharmas apart, Brahmanas who even otherwise practise accomplishment of 'tadaatmya' or union of Antaratma and Paramatma as was explained in the various Sacred Scriptures like Upanishads do constantly strive for and so do great Maharshis. Thus such exemplary Brahnanas are straight to walk in north easterly direction and always on the singular path of virtue, live on water and air, being totally self-controlled until the final body collapse but with total fulfillment with neither fear nor grief nor even attachment but of 'sat plus nyaasa' or of Interaction with Sanyasa literally at the final destination of bliss]

Sarga Fifty Two continued: *Tato vaikhaanasam margamaasthitah sahalakshmanah, vratamaadish - tavaan Raamah sahaayam gohamabraveet*/ Then Rama along with Sita-Lakshmanaas assumed 'Vaanaprastha maarga' and addressed Guha the Nishada King as the latter had meanwhile confirmed that the boat was ready right on the adjacent banks of the holy Ganga and that Rama along with Devi Sita and Lakshmana be ready for decent. Guha said: Purushasimha Rama! Do please hold the hand of Devi Sita and after her being seated then you could be seated comfortably. Rama then did so and asked Lakshmana to follow suit. Then Rama performed formal 'Ganga Vandana'and signalled that the boat be moved out.

[An interesting version about the boatsman as nominated by Nishada King Guha states he desired to be he be allowed to wash Rama's feetas his limited income as a boatman he would not afford any more boats nor many wives to support. Rama smiled looking at Sita devi and remained silent. The boatsman continued: Sir! I have heard that the dust from your feet touched a stone and turned into a woman. My boat is made of several pieces of wood and if the dust of your feet fell on my boat, then the boat might not turn into several women. It would not be possible for me to maintain a huge family. That is why I am requesting to wash the feet and make it dust free before you step into the boat. Rama smiled at his pure and innocent faith recalling the incident of Ahalya having been cursed as a stone by Gautama Maharshi. After washing the feet the boatman placed his hands on earth and asked Rama to place the first step on his hand before stepping into the boat. As soon as they alighted from the boat, Devi Sita immediately withdrew a ring from her finger and handed it over to Rama, signaling to him to pass it on to the boatman. The latter refused as people of the same profession should not charge each other for their services; like a barber or washerman. A barber never takes payment, when he gives a haircut to another barber. Even a washer-man never charges a fellow washer-man. Similarly I ferry Ganges and you ferry 'Bhava Sagara'!]

Sarga's stanza 83 continued: As the boat had caught on momentum and speed, then Devi Sita made an appeal to Devi Ganga: putro daśarathasyāyam mahārājasya dhīmataḥ, nideśam pālayatv enam gange tvadabhirakṣitaḥ/ caturdaśa hi varṣāṇi samagrāṇy uṣya kānane, bhrātrā saha mayā caiva punaḥ pratyāgamiṣyati/ tatas tvām devi subhage kṣemeṇa punar āgatā, yakṣye pramuditā gange sarvakāmasamṛddhaye/ Mother Ganga! Rama the son of King Dasharatha of Ikshvaku lineage is passing through your sacred river by obeying the instruction of his father for 'vana vaasa' for fourteen long years along with his younger brother. May we seek your blessings for our safe return. Mother! You have the distinctive glory of your forcefull flows in Akasha-Bhu-Patalas as three loka gaamini, from Brahma Loka to finally merge into the Samudra Raja. As and when we conclude our 'yatra', we will once again invoke your blessings, with heads and hands down with our prostrations. We seek your kindness for our safe return and as a gesture of our gratitude, we would like to perform 'daana karyas' at the famed temples at

the tirthas on way back in praise of your glory!'. As Devi Sita had been making appeals to and promises for their safe return, the boat travel concluded successfully and she along with Rama Lakshmanas came out of the boat in the safe company of Rama Maha bhakta Guha the King of Nishadaas. Then Shri Rama addressed Lakshmana to be ready with alertness as they would have to enter the density of the forest ahead and that the safety of Sita should be paramount; he said that as Lakshmana would lead the way, he as accompanied by Sita be followed. He said: *Na hi taavadatikraantaasukaaraa kaachana kriyaa, adya duhkham tu vaidehee vanavaasasya pravekshyati*/ We are now going to enter such a real forest where no human being could ever dare; this is such a dense forest with steep ups and downs requiring attention step by step. Then as they had carefully crossed that strech of danger with steep ups and falls with vicious thorns and crawling poisonous reptiles with no sign of a pathway, reached 'Vatsa desha' and of 'Prayaga' its capital. This place was rich in crops and of well fed persons of strong physique and Rama Sita Lakshmanas reached a huge tree under which Rama duely performed his evening austereties even as Devi Sita was playing with deers, wild pigs and the like; Lakshmana got busy with the dinner arrangement of 'kandamoola phalas' for their dinner followed by night's rest.

[Vishleshana on Prayaga: Prayaga (Allhabad): Maha Padma Purana eulozises Prayaga in Uttara Khanda as follows: Jahnavi Ravisutaa Parameshthiputri Sinndhutrayaabharana Tirthavara Prayaga, Sarvesha maamanugrahaana nayaswa chordhwamantastamo dashavidham dalaya swadhaamnaa/ (Prayaga Tirtha Raja which wears the ornament of three Unique Rivers of Ganga from Vishnu paada-Yamuna the daughter of Surya-Saraswati the daughter of Brahma! Sarveswara! Be very kind to me and lift my stature and demolish the ten folded 'Avidyaandhakara' or the Darkness of Ignorance and enlighten me into knowldge of brilliance!) Vaageesha Vishnaveesha Purandaraadyaah Paapapranaashaaya Vidaam Vidopi, Bhajanti yatteeramaneela neelam sa Tirtha raajo jayati prayaagah/ (Victory to you Prayaga Tirtha Raja! You are so illustrious that Brahma-Vishnu-Shiva- Indraadi Devas as also Rishi-Maharshis vie with each other to rejoice the Pure White and Blue waters of three Maha Nadis converging together!) Kaalindajaa sangamayaapya yatra pratyaagataa swargadhuni dhuneti, Adhyaatma taapatrayam janasya sa TeerthaRaajo jayati Prayagaha/ (Victory to you Prayaga Tirtha Raja! Manushyas on accomplishing the Sangama of Ganga- Kalindini-Yamuna witness themselves the complete destruction of 'Tapatrayas' viz. Adhyatmika or Issues of Psychological and Mental nature, Adhi daivika or God made problems and Adhibhoutika or of physical ailments!) Padma Purana further states: Victory to you Prayaga Tirtha! You assume bright blue colour and its varying shades which indeed do pacify human beings from the cyclical tribulations of deaths and births. Victory to you Prayaga Tirtha Raja! Brahma and all the Devatas do frequently take reprieve from their own duties only to enjoy your comforting diversion and even Yama dharma Raja too sometimes frees himself from wielding his ever whipping 'danda' just to refresh and rejuvenate himself with the tranquility of the Sangama Raja. Victory to you Prayaga Tirtha Raja! Those persons who dive and bathe in this Sangama of three illustrious Rivers viz. 'Brahminaputri Tripathastriveni' would reap the 'Akshata Yaga Phala' and make way to Brahma Loka! Lokaanaam akshamanaa -naam Makhakritushu Kalou Swargakaamair japastutyaadi shtotrairvachobhih kathamamarapada prapti chintaaturaanaam/ Agnishtomaashwamedha pramukhamara phalam samyagaalocchhya saanga Brahmaadyaisteertha rajobhimatada upadishtoyameva Prayagah/ (In Kaliyuga, human beings no doubt are desirous of attaing Swarga but are unable to execute Yagina-Yaagaas but could resort to Japa-Stuti-Stotra-Paatha and the like; at same time they are desirous of achieving Ashwamedhaadi Yagina phala too; so Brahma and Devatas thought over and materialised Prayaga Tirtha Raja to achieve the similar phala by merely but sincerely observe the bathing regulations and secure Salvation). Grahaanancha yathaa Suryo

Nakshatraanaa yathaa Shashi, Tirthaanaamuttamam tirtham Prayagaasyamanuttamam/ (Just as among the Grahas Surya is the outstanding and among the Stars the Moon, Prayaga indeed the the Unique among the Tirthas) Prayage tu Naro yastu Maagha snaanam karoti cha, Na tasya phala samkhyasti shrunu Devarshi sattama/ (Those who perform Maagha Snana at Prayaga, they have no measure of Phala sampatti!) To know about the further 'mahima' or Unique significance of Prayaga, one might refer to Matsya, Kurma, Agni Maha Puranas also!The very fact that there is a Sangam of three Maha Nadis lends the credential of Prayaga to be the King of Tirthas in Bharat. As there are three distinct river flows have their confluence, this Tirtha rightly designated as Triveni distinguishes itself as Agni Swarupa or of Yagina Vedi; the intermediate region of Ganga-Yamuna is of 'Garhapatyagni'; where as the region beyond Ganga viz. Pratishthanpur-Jhansi is of 'Ahavaniyaagni' and the Region beyong Yamuna ie. Alarkapura and Araila is to be considered as 'Dakshinaagni'. Hence those who decide to stay at Prayaga for three nights representing the Three Rivers signified as three types of Agni, would derive the benefit of three Sacred Rivers and three forms of Agni! There is a Magha month celebration at Prayaga and those visiting the Maha Tirtha are in this month are designated as Kalpa Vasis! Several such Kalpavasi Yatris residing at the Triveni Sangama make it a point to reside here during Soura Maasa Makara Samkranti upto Kumbha Sankranti and as per Chandramaana stay right up to the end of Maagha Month. Now every twelve years there is a Maha Kumbha at Prayaga when Brihaspati is in Vrishabha Raasi and Surya is in Makara Raasi; every such six years, Ardha Kumbha is observed and then again there is a srtong arrival of yatris and a big Mela is organised at Prayaga. Duties at Prayaga: Yatris to Prayaga Tirtha are expected to observe Upavasa or fasting, Japa, Daana, and worship. 'Mundan' is a normal duty for males and widows whereas for married women, 'Veni daana' or cutting of long head hair edges duly tied together smeared with Mangala Dravyas like turmeric powder and scented sindura powder are to be slashed with scissors and the hair pieces so cut along with recitation of Mantras blessing long marital life with longevity of husbands; there after 'Mangala Snanas' or Sacred and auspicious bathings are performed again with Mantra recitals while leaving the discarded pieces of their hair edges so slashed formally to the flows of Holy Triveni Sangam. The concerned husbands who would have already bathed earlier should once again perform three dips in the flow by holding the shoulders of their wives. There after at the designated Sangama Sthala where the confluence of Ganga and Yamuna waters of brightness and blueish hues and distinct temperatures of coldness and mild warmth-with Saraswati as the under current, puja is to be performed with three dips again possibly or if travelling by boat, by sprinkling of the Sacred Sangam flows on heads. Pinda Puja/ Tarpana and Pinda daana in favour of Pitru Devas would be the next duty to be observed on banks of Prayaga Sangam. Main Devasthaanas at Prayaga: Trivenim Madhavam Somam Bharadwaajam cha Vaasukim, Vandekshaya vatam Shesham Prayagam Tirtha naamakam/ (Triveni, Bindumadhava, Someshwara, Vaasuki naaga, Akshya Vata, and Sesha Naaga or Baladeva are the principal Tirthas worthy of including in the Prayaga Yatra itinerary. Veni Madhava is a renowned Vaishnava Peetha nearby Triveni Sangama adjacent to Akshaya Vata. This Bindu Madha in water form comprises twelve Madhavas viz. Shankha Madhava, Chakra Madghava, Gada Madhava, Padma Madhava, Ananta Madhava, Bindu Madhava, Manohara Madhava, Asi Madhava, Sankashtahara Madhava, Adi Venu Mahava, Adi Madhava, Shri Veni Madhava; these Madhavas are either Murtis, or Sacred Rocks or of Jala Swarupa Sthanas. Akshaya Vata is near Patalapura Cave as a dry tree bush on Yamuna River bank where several Murtis are on display like Annapurna, Maha Lakshmi, Gauri Ganesha, Bala Mukund, Maha Deva, Saraswati, Vishnu, Nrisimha, Rama Sita Lakshmana Hanuman etc. Besides these, the other Mandirs are Mankemeshwar Mandir of Shiva and Somanatha reachable by boat, Bindu Madhava already mentioned, Naga Vasuki and Bala Deva or Shesha Mandir, Shiva Kuti or Koti Tirtha,

Bharadwaja Ashrama, all on Ganga Banks. Lalitha Devi Mandira as mentioned in 'Tantra Chudamani' is one of the Shakti Peethas at Prayaga where Devi Sati's right hand finger fell following her mortal body parts slicing off by Vishnu Chakra and Devi's name is called Alopi Devi. Prayag's Antarvedi Parikrama is stated to take a couple of days commencing from Triveni sangama Snaana and Bindu Madhava worship followed by Yamuna bank's Paapa vimochana Tirtha, Parashurama Tirtha, Govardhana Tirtha, Pischacha mochana Tirtha, Manah Kameshwara Tirtha, Kapila Tirtha, Indreshwara Shiva, Takshaka Kunda, Takshakeshwara Shiva, Kaaliya hrada, Chakra Tirtha, Sindhu Sagara Tirtha near Kakaraghaat, and on the road to Pandava Kupa, Varuna Kupa in Gadhayi Sarai, Kashyapa Tirtha, Dravyeshwara nadha Shiva, Surva Kunda and so on. There after, Hanumam darshana and Triveni Snaana would terminate the Antarvedi Parikrama. Bahir Vedi Parikrama is stated to be taken up about ten days but after this one has to undertake Antar vedi parikrama too. Kurma Purana details an account of Prayaga Mahatmya by narrating of Yudhishtara's remorse and anguish on the conclusion of the Kurukshetra Battle where not only Kaurava cousins but even Bhishma, Karna his own elder brother, several uncles, Gurus and assiciates were killed; as he desired to perform 'Prayaschitta' or formal atonement/ expiation the Vedic way, Maharshi Markandeya suggested Prayaga Titha darshana and penance., since this Kshetra was protected against Evils by some sixty thousand bows and arrows in favour of Ganga and Sabita Deva riding seven horses protected River Yamuna, while Devi Saraswati flowing under ground has the protection of Brahma himself; Indra and Devas kept constant vigil, Vishnu is ever protective and Maha Deva resides on the Vata Vriksha / banyan tree on the banks of the Sangama. The Purana is quoted: Prayaagaam smaranaamasya sarvamaayaati sankshamam, Darshanaat tasya Tirthasya mnaamasamkirtinaadapi, Mrittikaa labhanaad yaapi Narah paapaat pramuchyate/ (The very thought of Prayaga would suffice to destroy sins; Prayaga darshana and naama samkirtana or even the touch of Prayaga sand would evaporate all sins). Along with the banks of Yamuna and Ganga are countless Tirthas each of which has a description; Kurma Purana highlights Yamuna's southern side two Maha Nagas Kambal and Ashwatara who were great devotees of Parama Shiva stayed at that Tirtha and Snaanas there would ward off 'sarpa badha' forever. Another Tirtha named 'Hamsa prapatana' near Pratishthaanapura and the belief is that Apsara landed there by Hamsa/ Swan and bathing there enriches beauty of body and heart; Koti Tirtha bathing and possibly death is stated to ensure Swarga nivasa for crores of years. On Ganga's eastern side is Sarva Samudra Gahvara or Cave and stay there for three days and nights observing fast and celibacy and mental control performing meditation would fetch Ashwamedha Yagna phala. Sangama snaana in Maagha month for three days ensures enormous material fulfillment and at the termination of life the assured passage to higher Lokas. Those who could perform 'karishagni seva' or tapasya within a circles of flames of dried cow dung on the banks of the Sangama Place would bestow and preserve diseaseless body and physical fitness. Yet another Tirtha on the northern side of River Yamuna ensures Runa Vimochana or freedom from indebtedness.l

Sarga Fifty Three

As Rama asks Lakshmana to return back to Ayodhya at least now but Lakshmana protests

Sa tam v_rkṣam samāsādya samdhyām anvāsya paścimām, rāmo ramayatām śreṣṭha iti hovāca lakṣmaṇam/ adyeyam prathamā rātrir yātā janapadād bahiḥ, yā sumantreṇa rahitā tām notkaṇṭhitum arhasi/jāgartavyam atandribhyām adya prabhṛti rātriṣu, yogakṣemo hi sītāyā vartate lakṣmaṇāvayoḥ/rātrim katham cid evemām saumitre vartayāmahe, upāvartāmahe bhūmāv āstīrya svayam ārjitaiḥ/sa tu samviśya medinyām mahārhaśayanocitaḥ, imāḥ saumitraye rāmo vyājahāra kathāḥ śubhāḥ/dhruvam adya mahārājo duḥkham svapiti lakṣmaṇa, kṛtakāmā tu kaikeyī tuṣṭā bhavitum arhati/sā hi devī

mahārājam kaikeyī rājyakāranāt, api na cyāvayet prānān drstvā bharatam āgatam/ anāthaś caiva vrddhaś ca mayā caiva vinākrtah, kim karisyati kāmātmā kaikevyā vaśam āgatah/idam vyasanam ālokya rājñaś ca mativibhramam, kāma evārdhadharmābhyām garīyān iti me matih/ko hy avidvān api pumān pramadāyāḥ kṛte tyajet, chandānuvartinam putram tāto mām iva lakṣmaṇa/ sukhī bata sabhāryaś ca bharatah kekayīsutah, muditān kosalān eko vo bhoksvatv adhirājavat/ sa hi sarvasva rājvasva mukham ekam bhavişyati, tāte ca vayasātīte mayi cāraṇyam āśrite/ arthadharmau parityajya yaḥ kāmam anuvartate, evam āpadyate kṣipram rājā daśaratho yathā/ manye daśarathāntāya mama pravrājanāya ca, kaikevī saumva samprāptā rājvāva bharatasva ca/ apīdānīm na kaikevī saubhāgvamadamohitā, kausalyām ca sumitrām ca samprabādheta matkrte/ mā sma matkāranād devī sumitrā duhkham āvaset, ayodhyām ita eva tvam kāle praviśa laksmana/ aham eko gamisyāmi sītayā saha dandakān, anāthāyā hi nāthas tvam kausalyāyā bhavisyasi/ksudrakarmā hi kaikeyī dvesād anyāyyam ācaret, paridadyā hi dharmajñe bharate mama mātaram/ nūnam jātyantare kasmim striyah putrair viyojitāh, jananyā mama saumitre tad apy etad upasthitam/ mayā hi cirapuṣṭena duḥkhasamvardhitena ca, viprāyujyata kausalyā phalakāle dhig astu mām/ mā sma sīmantinī kā cij janavet putram īdrsam, saumitre vo 'ham ambāvā dadmi śokam anantakam/ manye prītiviśistā sā matto laksmanasārikā, vasyās tac chrūvate vākyam śuka pādam arer daśa/śocantyāś cālpabhāgyāyā na kim cid upakurvatā, purtreņa kim aputrāyā mayā kāryam arimdama/ alpabhāgyā hi me mātā kausalyā rahitā mayā, śete paramaduḥkhārtā patitā śokasāgare/ eko hy aham ayodhyām ca pṛthivīm cāpi laksmana, tareyam isubhih kruddho nanu vīryam akāranam/ adharmabhaya bhītas ca paralokasya cānagha, tena laksmana nādyāham ātmānam abhisecaye/ etad anyac ca karunam vilapya vijane bahu, aśrupūrņamukho rāmo niśi tūṣṇīm upāviśat/ vilapyoparatam rāmam gatārcisam ivānalam, samudram iva nirvegam āśvāsavata laksmanah/ dhruvam adva purī rāma ayodhyā yudhinām vara, niṣprabhā tvayi niṣkrānte gatacandreva śarvarī/ naitad aupayikam rāma yad idam paritapyase, visādayasi sītām ca mām caiva purusarsabha/ na ca sītā tvayā hīnā na cāham api rāghava, muhūrtam api jīvāvo jalān matsyāv ivoddhṛtau/ na hi tātam na satrughnam na sumitrām paramtapa, drastum iccheyam adyāham svargam vāpi tvayā vinā/ sa laksmanasyottama puskalam vaco; niśamya caivam vanavāsam ādarāt, samāh samastā vidadhe paramtapah; prapadya dharmam sucirāya rāghavah/

As the night had fallen, Rama alerted Lakshmana that this night even being on the outskirts of a city, especially as Sumantra also not being present, we ought to be careful of safeguarding Devi Sita. Hence they should sleep on a line with Rama in between. Then Rama further commenced conversation: Lakshmana! By now our father should be sleeping with heavy heart and Kaikeyi should be feeling happy and contented. But would the arrival of Bharata at Ayodhya not dishearten the father! Unfortunately, the King is helpless without support, is truly lonely, and is under the full control of Devi Kaikeyi. I should therefore feel that more than of 'dharma' and 'artha', the King is more obsessed with 'kaama' only. Lakshmana! I keep pondering about the manner in which I had been sacrificed as had been readily carried out by me, just for obliging a woman, is all due to him! Bharata is doubly fotunate as the son of an assertive mother of this kingdom as well as the proxy queen of Koshala desha too. Father is too old for administration and I have been driven away too, and as such Bharata is orn most fortunate. Be there a King ever in the books of history that by ignoring the other 'purusharthas', only 'kaama' being the most dominant one in which the old King has become a victim! Lakshmana! I am now getting more and more convinced that Devi Kaikeyi was born and ushered into the queenship of Ayodhya only to drive me away with 'vana vaasa' and usher in Bharata into kingship. Lakshmana! Instead of getting into this vortex of vana vaasa by me, I would sincerely urge that you should return to Ayodhya at the morning tomorrow and look after the mothers even now for their safeguard. My great concern now is that Devi Kaikeyi might harm our mothers or atleast not proactively treat them well. I can and should be able to safeguard Sita surely myself. Lakshmana! I am getting more and more concerned about the certainty of Kaikeyi acting against the interests of our mothers; she might poison the mothers or eliminate them out of hatred and jealousy. I am unfortunately getting concerned that my mothers might have acted with impatience or even impertinence with other women in their earlier lives by forcing them to get deserted from their sons likewise.! It is shameful that all along our mothers had looked after us this far yet we are unable to repay

their trust when they need it most in their older ages. Sumitra nandana! May not hereafter any unlucky mother like of mine give birth to men of hard luck as I provide no solace but heartbreaking sorrow to her! Lakshmana! I do admit that my mother is head over wheels concerned of my welfare by each of my steps, but at the same time would also nag me a lot by even saying: 'you fool! May you eat off the foot fingers of your enemies!' Then I smile about her innocent and deep attachment for me!' Lakshmana! It is my misfortune that I have given her deep sorrow and never of any solace; fie! On the uselessness of my life for her being my son! Imaginably now she should be lying down after endless and heart shattering cryings of helplessness for my sake! Lakshmana! Some times I feel that I should vindicate my right with assertion by taking over not only Ayodhya but the entire bhu loka even but then cool down my anger by realising that a human being's physical might obviously water down by the celestial powers of 'dharma' and 'praarabdha'! Adharma bhayabheetascha paralokasya chaanagha, tena Lakshmana naadyaahamaamaatmaanabhishechate/ Lakshmana! I am obviously controlled my the shackles of 'dharma' and hence disabled to assume the Rajyaabhisheka!' Likewise, Shri Rama let all his internal and humanlike emotions erupt over suddenly as in the case of pentup and controlled 'agni jwaalaas' flaring up. Ther after, Rama sat through long hours of the night due to restlessness and extraordinary self-control. Lakshmana having sensed the seriousness of the situation, remarked that the night by Ayodhya should be moon less on the sky at that time! Then Lakshmana remarked: 'This should not behove of a Purusha simha of Rama's stature, especially by according resounds in the heart of Devi Sita! Further, without them I should be a fish out of water! Furthermore, I would feel shattered if Rama were not there, then I should wish to vision my father-mother-brothers-and all the rest only in Swarga Loka!' Ther after, Rama Sitas lied down for the night on a grass bed made by Lakshmana.

Sarga Fifty Four

Ramas reach Bharadvaaja ashram and the Maharshi advises them to settle at Chitrakoota mountain

Te tu tasmin mahāvrkşa uşitvā rajanīm śivām, vimale 'bhyudite sūrye tasmād deśāt pratasthire/ yatra bhāgīrathī gaṅgā vamunām abhivartate, jagmus tam deśam uddiśva vigāhva sumahad vanam/ te bhūmim āgān vividhān deśām's cāpi manoramān, adrstapūrvān pasvantas tatra tatra vasasvinah/ vathāksemena gacchan sa paśyamś ca vividhān drumān, nivṛttamātre divase rāmaḥ saumitrim abravīt/ prayāgam abhitah paśya saumitre dhūmam unnatam, agner bhagayatah ketum manye samnihito munih/ nūnam prāptāh sma sambhedam gangāyamunayor vayam, tathā hi śrūyate śambdo vārinā vārighattitah/ dārūni paribhinnāni vanajair upajīvibhih, bharadvājāśrame caite drśvante vividhā drumāh/ dhanvinau tau sukham gatvā lambamāne divākare, gangāyamunayoh samdhau prāpatur nilayam muneh/ rāmas tv āśramam āsādya trāsayan mṛgapakṣiṇaḥ, gatvā muhūrtam adhvānam bharadvājam upāgamat/ tatas tv āśramam āsādya muner darśanakānkṣinau, sītayānugatau vīrau dūrād evāvatasthatuḥ/ hutāgnihotram dṛṣṭvaiva mahābhāgam kṛtāñjalih, rāmaḥ saumitriṇā sārdham sītayā cābhyavādayat/ Nyavedayata cātmānam tasmai laksmanapūrvajah, putrau daśarathasvāvām bhagavan rāmalaksmanau/ bhārvā mameyam yaidehī kalyānī janakātmajā, mām cānuyātā vijanam tapoyanam aninditā/ pitrā pravrājyamānam mām saumitrir anujah priyah, ayam anvagamad bhrātā vanam eva dṛḍhavratah/ pitrā niyuktā bhagavan pravesyāmas tapovanam, dharmam evācarisyāmas tatra mūlaphalāśanāh/ tasya tadvacanam śrutvā rājaputrasya dhīmatah, upānayata dharmātmā gām arghyam udakam tatah/ mṛgapaksibhir āsīno munibhiś ca samantatah, rāmam āgatam abhyarcya svāgatenāha tam munih/ pratigrhya ca tām arcām upaviṣṭam sarāghavam, bharadvājo 'bravīd vākyam dharmayuktam idam tadā/ cirasya khalu kākutstha paśyāmi tvām ihāgatam, śrutam tava mayā cedam vivāsanam akāraṇam/ avakāśo vivikto 'yam mahānadyoh samāgame, puņyaś ca ramanīyaś ca vasatv iha bhagān sukham/ evam uktas tu vacanam bharadvājena rāghavah, pratyuvāca śubham vākyam rāmah sarvahite ratah/bhagavann ita āsannah paurajānapado janah, āgamisyati vaidehīm mām cāpi preksako janah, anena kāranenāham iha vāsam na rocaye/ ekānte paśya bhagavann āśramasthānam uttamam, ramate yatra vaidehī sukhārhā janakātmajā/ etac chrutvā śubham vākyam bharadvājo mahāmuniḥ, rāghavasya tato vākyam artha grāhakam abravīt/ daśakrośa itas tāta girir vasmin nivatsvasi, maharsisevitah punyah sarvatah sukha

darśanah/ golāngūlānucarito vānararksanisevitah, citrakūta iti khyāto gandhamādanasamnibhah/ yāvatā citra kūṭasya naraḥ śṛngāṇy avekṣate, kalyāṇāni samādhatte na pāpe kurute manaḥ/ ṛṣayas tatra bahavo vihrtya śaradām śatam, tapasā divam ārūḍhāḥ kapālaśirasā saha/ praviviktam aham manye tam vāsam bhavataḥ sukham, iha vā vanavāsāya vasa rāma mayā saha/ sa rāmam sarvakāmais tam bharadvājaḥ priyātithim, sabhāryam saha ca bhrātrā pratijagrāha dharmavit/ tasya prayāge rāmasya tam maharşim upeyuşah, prapannā rajanī puņyā citrāh kathayatah kathāh/ prabhātāyām rajanyām tu bharadvājam upāgamat, uvāca naraśārdūlo munim įvalitatejasam/ śarvarīm bhavanann adya satyaśīla tavāśrame, usitāh smeha vasatim anujānātu no bhavān/ rātryām tu tasvām vyustāvām bharadvājo 'bravīd idam, madhumūlaphalopetam citrakūtam vrajeti ha/ tatra kunjarayūthāni mrgayūthāni cābhitah, vicaranti vanāntesu tāni draksyasi rāghava/ prahrstakoyastikakokilasvanair; vināditam tam vasudhādharam śivam, mrgaiś ca mattair bahubhiś ca kuñjaraih; suramyam āsādya samāvasāśramam/ Having thus spent under the huge tree through the night, Sita Rama Lakshmanas proceeded from the banks of Triveni Sangama into the wild forests. Having gradually passed through the areas which are seldom accessible by witnessing the Nature's multi faceted manifestations, stopping over at times out of fatigue or for eating the fruits and roots, Rama addressed Lakshmana by sensing smokes of fire on the lower skies as the tree trunks and dried up leaves were burnt whether Bharadwaja Maharshi ashram was nearby. As it indeed was the Ashram and in its vicinity the desciples of the Maharshi who noted the dhanurdhara heros clad in deer skins along with a young woman too. On informing of their arrival, the 'sishyas' informed the Maharshi who by his 'ashta siddhis' realised the background of Rama along with ita Lakshmanas.

[Brahamrshi Bharadwaja, the famed Pravara Rishi next only to Angeerasa-Barhaspatya-Bharadvaja as the initiators of Gotras. Born of Deva Brihaspati himself, his timeless Scriptures include Bharadvaja Samhita, Charaka Samhita]

Having been duly welcomed, Maharshi Bharadwaja blessed the 'atithis' who had prostrated to the Maharshi before being seated. Shri Rama explained that both of the were the sons of King Dasharatha and Devi Sita was his 'dharmapatni' being the daughter of King Janaka. Rama said further that as per his father's directive, the three some would enter the forests and on way had arrived at the ashram. Maharshi extended all possible 'atithi satkaraas' He then stated: cirasya khalu kākutstha paśyāmi tvām ihāgatam, śrutam tava mayā cedam vivāsanam akāranam/ avakāśo vivikto 'yam mahānadyoh samāgame, punyaś ca ramaṇīyaś ca vasatv iha bhagān sukham/ 'Kakustha kula bhushana Shri Rama! I have been awaiting your arrival for long at this ashram and am happy. I was informed that you had been suddenly instructed to proceed for 'vana vaasa' without justification. This place is an ideal place as the 'sangama' of the most revered Rivers of Ganga and Yamuna. This ashram as an ideal place for your stay here most comfortably. I should heartily recommend for your peaceful stay'. Rama replied: Mahatma! This place is too near from the villages of this kingdom and there would be considerable flow of public to see and talk to us and as such would not be appropriate for our stay here. We request you to suggest another distant place which should not be easily accessible for visitors. daśakrośa itas tāta girir yasmin nivatsyasi, maharşisevitah puṇyaḥ sarvataḥ sukha darśanaḥ/ golāṅgūlānucarito vānararkṣaniṣevitaḥ, citrakūṭa iti khyāto gandhamādanasamnibhah/ yāvatā citra kūtasya narah śrngāny aveksate, kalyānāni samādhatte na pāpe kurute manaḥ/ ṛṣayas tatra bahavo vihṛtya śaradām śatam, tapasā divam ārūḍhāḥ kapālaśirasā saha/ praviviktam aham manye tam vāsam bhavatah sukham, iha vā vanavāsāya vasa rāma mayā saha/Rama! Some distance away [about an estimated 80 miles away] from Prayaga to Chitrakuta should be an ideal place as several Rishis too reside having made their ashramas there. No doubt there would be countless 'langura-vanaraas' or big sized apes and monkeys in the vicinity of the 'muni-ashramaas' and like the picturesque 'Gandhamaadana Mountains'. On reaching there and witnessing the 'shikharas' and the picturesque valley views one should secure spontaneous inside motivation never to part with and even remote traces of sinfulness get extincted. That is the place for Rishis stay, congregate, and plactise yagjnas, swadhayas, and reverberations of veda pathanas in groups of Vidyarthi Muni Kumaras. Rama! I am most convinced that ought to be the most ideal place for your stay, lest you might stay back in my

ashram itself!' Thus the Maharshi having described the most ideal place for Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas, the Maharshi extended hospitality of the night and asserted: *Naanaa naganopetah kinnarogara sevitah*, *mayura naadaabhirato gaja raaja nishevitah, gamyataam bhavataa shalschitrakutah sa vishrutah*/ Rama! I should strongly recommend the well famed Chitrakuta mountain range wild with greenery, kinnara-sarpas, peacock sounds galore, replete with elephant groups and in all the most picturesque ever! Maharshi further asserted: This view of the range of mountains is not only readily enchanting but also replete with purity of place-heart-and soul as you should readily feel the grandeur of Nature as never before by all of you three, with the murmurings of river Mandakni, mountain tops, caves, endless water streams. The variety of visual paradise with the music birds in the background be such as Devi Sita should most certainly enjoy as a life time experience when years get shortened as days and nights! Rama! Therefore, go and enjoy in the sweet company of Sita Devi and the fool-proof protection of Mahaveera Lakshmana!

Vishleshana on Chitra koota: Most significant fact is that Lord Shri Ram along with Devi Sita and brother Lakshman spent years together at this 'Tapobhumi'or Meditation Land of Sanctity- where Maharshi Atri and his ilustrious follower Munis stayed too-during his forest life as per his father Dasharatha's wish. Chitrakoot means the 'Hill of many wonders'. Chitrakoot falls in the northern Vindhya Mountain range. Chitrakoot Parvat Mala includes Kamad Giri, Hanumaan Dhara, Janki Kund, Lakshman pahari, and Devangana famous Religious mountains. It was in these deep forests that Shri Rama-Devi Sita and Lakshmana spent a few months of their fourteen years of exile. Renowned Sages like Atri-Anasuyaand Vaalmiki did their tapasyas. Shri Rama was stated to have performed his father's obsequies during his exile period. Valmiki speaks of Chitrakoot as an eminently holy place inhabited by the great sages, abounding in monkeys, bears and various other kinds of fauna and flora. Both the Maharshis Bharadwaja and Vaalmiki paid outstanding tributes to Chitrakoota as one of the most picturesque places of dharma and satkarma. And so did Kalidasa and Tulasi Das in later times, its this bewitching impact of this place. At Chitrakut, the parikrama or circumambulation of Kamadagiri /mountain and Shri Rama Darshan are the significant tasks. The parikrama is to take some five days of some 30 km. Starting from Raghava Prayaga 'snana' at Sitapur- Koti Tirtha, Sita Devi's Kichen, Hanuman Dhara-Keshayaghar, Pramodayana, Janaki kund, Sirasa yana, Spkatika shila, Anasuya- Gupta Godayari snana, Kailasa Parvata darshana- and from Chabepura to Bharat kupa and Rama Shayya or Rama's bed. On way in the Parikrama occur Mukharavinda where snana is of importance followed by temples of Hanuma, Saakshi Gopala, Lakshmi Narayana, Shri Ramas sthaana, Tulasidasa nivasa, Kaikeyi and Bharata Mandirs, Charana Paduka Mandir. There are three most hallowed 'Charana Chinha' or foot prints of Lord Shri Rama viz. Charana Paduka or His footwear prints, Janaki kunda and 'Sphatika shaala'. The specific Spot where Bharata met Rama for the first time and the molten stone of Rama's footprint is visible still. Among other hallowed Places nearby Charana Paduka are Lakshman Hill and Lakshman Mandir, Janaki Kund, Anasuya-Atri Ashram, Gupta Godavari and so on. Nearby Chitra kut are Ganesha Kund, Valmiki Ashram, Viradha Kunda, Sharabhanga Ashram, Sutikshan Ashram and Rama Vana.

Sarga Fifty Five

Ramas cross Yamuna from Prayaga- Sita prays to Yamuna- their overnight stay at otherside of Yamuna

Uṣitvā rajanīm tatra rājaputrāv arimdamau, maharṣim abhivādyātha jagmatus tam girim prati/ Teshaam svasyayanam caiva Maharshih sa cha kaara ha, prasthitaan prekshya taamschaiva pitaa putraanivou - rasaan/ tataḥ pracakrame vaktum vacanam sa mahāmuniḥ, Bharadwaajo maha tejaa Raamam satya paraakraam/ athāsādya tu kālindīm śīghrasrotasamāpagām, tatra yūyam plavam kṛtvā taratāmśumatīm nadīm/ tato nyagrodham āsādya mahāntam haritacchadam, vivṛddham bahubhir vṛkṣaiḥ śyāmam siddhopasevitam/ krośamātram tato gatvā nīlam drakṣyatha kānanam, palāśabadarīmiśram rāma vamśaiś ca yāmunaiḥ/ sa panthāś citrakūṭasya gataḥ subahuśo mayā, ramyo mārdavayuktaś ca vanadāvair vivarjitaḥ, iti panthānam āvedya maharṣiḥ sa nyavartata/ upāvṛtte munau tasmin rāmo

lakşmaṇam abravīt, krtapuṇyāḥ sma saumitre munir yan no 'nukampate/ iti tau puruṣavyāghrau mantrayitvā manasvinau, sītām evāgrataḥ krtvā kālindīm jagmatur nadīm/ tau kāṣṭhasaṃghāṭam atho cakratuḥ sumahāplavam, cakāra lakṣmaṇaś chittvā sītāyāḥ sukhamānasaṁ/ tatra śriyam ivācintyām rāmo dāśarathiḥ priyām, īṣatsamlajjamānām tām adhyāropayata plavam/ tataḥ plavenāmśumatīm śīghragām ūrmimālinīm, tīrajair bahubhir vrkṣaiḥ samterur yamunām nadīm/ te tīrṇāḥ plavam utsrjya prasthāya yamunāvanāt, śyāmam nyagrodham āseduḥ śītalam haritacchadam/ kausalyām caiva paśyeyam sumitrām ca yaśasvinīm, iti sītāñjalim krtvā paryagachad vanaspatim/ krośamātram tato gatvā bhrātarau rāmalakṣmaṇau, bahūn medhyān mrgān hatvā ceratur yamunāvane/ vihrtya te barhiṇapūganādite; śubhe vane vāraṇavānarāyute, samam nadīvapram upetya sammatam; nivāsam ājagmur adīnadarśanaḥ/

Having rested night long, Rama Sita Lakshmanas got readied to leave for their journey onward for the Chitrakuta mountain range. Maharshi Bharadwaaja stated swasari vaachakaas r of auspicious statements and addressed Shri Rama: 'You all should reach the 'sangama' or the merger point of the Sacred Rivers of Ganga and Yamuna and proceed westward. As the swift currents of Ganga get reversed and as the flows of Yamuna gain speed you should follow the route from where Yamuna flows from and thus take to the northern direction forests where big sized trees normally fall down hit by the fast flows and that specific banks of the sangama is popularly called as 'Shyamavata' . In fact a number of Siddha Purushas are normally seated under the shades of trees on the banks. You either rest or proceed further for a distance of a few miles when you should find a place called Neela vana, with tall trees of Sallaki and Badari nomenclature. That precisely the way ahead to Chitrakuta mountains.' Maharshi Bharadwaaja stated that he had gone by that very route several times and that was soft for the eyes and the vision which despite being dense with tall and huge trees which were free from the forest fires. Then having sought to understand the instructions of the Maharshi, Rama Sita Lakshmanas touched the feet of the Maharshi repeatedly. On the way ahead, Rama exclaimed that the Maharshi had been extremely kind to them and that they had reaped ample 'punya' or fruits of some past deeds of virtue. So exchanging their words of good fortune, reached the banks of the 'sangama' of the holy rivers. Then the wondered as how to cross over the flows. Lakshman noticed several tree trunks fallen and dried up and scattered on the banks and created a kind of a wooden plank which floats in the water flows with bent and erected safety sides; he had also improvised a bench type of seating facility for Devi Sita . Further Lakshmana discovered some goat skin hangings having been found dried up further improvised as a floor covering and a seat cover for Deevi Sita to sit on. They first pulled up Devi Sita onto the floating wooden plank, while she was extremely self conscious and shyful of the onlookers on the banks but slowly got settled on the raised seat. Then she made prayers to the flows of the Sacred Yamuna River: 'Kaalimndiya madhyamaayataa Sitaa tvenaama vadati, swasti Devi taraani twaam paarayenme pativratam/ Yakshye twaam gosahasrena suraaghatashatena cha,swasti pratyaagate raame pureemikshvaaku paalitaam/ Devi Kaalindi! I am crossing your river by wooden platforms and we beseech you to safeguard and let us pass without any problem as my revered husband and brother in law are on a mission of prolonged vana vaasa. On our safe return after the vana vaasa to Ayodhya, I take a vow hereby to give away charities of thousand cows and several pujas to you and related devataas.' Meanwhile, the three some had safe journey across the Sacred Yamuna and were seated under the cool shadow of a 'maha vriksha'. She then prayed to the Maha Vriksha too while performing 'parikrama' around the tree to bless them to successfully complete the entire duration of their forest life and be able to receive the affectionate blessings from the parents-in-law. As Rama got ready to proceed, he asked Lakshmana to keep his arrows and bow ready ahead of them. Having passed considerable distance, they halted again for another night under another maha vriksha on yet another banks of the Sacred River with cool and breezy winds blew along.

Sarga Fifty Six

Ramas reach Chitrakoota-Maharshi Valmiki at ashram- latter teaches Lakshnana to build 'Rama Kuteera'

Atha rātryām vyatītāyām avasuptam anantaram, prabodhayām āsa śanair lakṣmaṇam raghunandanaḥ/ saumitre śrnu vanyānām valgu vyāharatām svanam, sampratisthāmahe kālah prasthānasya paramtapa/ a sa suptah samaye bhrātrā lakṣmaṇaḥ pratibodhitaḥ, jahau nidrām ca tandrīm ca prasaktam ca pathi śramam/ tata utthāya te sarve sprstyā nadyāh śiyam jalam, panthānam rsinoddistam citrakūtasya tam yayuh/ tatah samprasthitah kāle rāmah saumitrinā saha, sītām kamalapatrākṣīm idam vacanam abravīt/ ādīptān iva vaidehi sarvatah puspitān nagān, svaih puspaih kimsukān pasya mālinah sisirātyaye/ pasya bhallātakān phullān narair anupasevitān, phalapatrair avanatān nūnam śakṣyāmi jīvitum/ paśya dronapramānāni lambamānāni laksmana, madhūni madhukārībhih sambhrtāni nage nage esa krośati natyūhas tam śikhī pratikūjati, ramanīve vanoddeśe puspasamstarasamkate/ mātamgayūthānusṛtam paksisamghānunāditam, citrakūtam imam pasya pravrddhasikharam girim/tatas tau pādacārena gacchantau saha sītayā, ramyam āsedatuh śailam citrakūtam manoramam/ tam tu parvatam āsādya nānāpakṣigaṇāyutam, ayam vāso bhavet tāvad atra saumya ramemahi/ lakṣmaṇānaya dārūṇi dṛḍhāni ca varāṇi ca, kuruṣvāvasatham saumya vāse me 'bhiratam manaḥ/ tasya tadvacanam śrutvā saumitrir vividhān drumān, ājahāra tataś cakre parna śālām arim dama/śuśrūsamānam ekāgram idam vacanam abravīt, aiņeyam māmsam āhrtya śālām yakṣyāmahe vayam/ sa lakṣmaṇaḥ kṛṣṇamṛgam hatvā medhyam patāpavān, atha cikṣepa saumitriḥ samiddhe jātavedasi/ taṁ tu pakvaṁ samājñāya niṣṭaptaṁ chinnaśonitam, laksmanah purusavyāghram atha rāghavam abravīt/ ayam kṛsnah samāptāngah śṛtah kṛṣṇa mṛgo yathā, devatā devasamkāśa yajasva kuśalo hy asi/ rāmah snātvā tu niyato gunavāñ japyakovidah, pāpasamsamanam rāmas cakāra balim uttamam/ tām vṛkṣaparṇac chadanām manojñām; yathāpradeśam sukrtām nivātām, vāsāya sarve vivišuh sametāh; sabhām yathā deva gaṇāh sudharmām/ anekanānāmṛgapakṣisamkule; vicitrapuṣpastabalair drumair yute, vanottame vyālamṛgānunādite; tathā vijahruh susukham jitendriyāh/ suramyam āsādya tu citrakūtam; nadīm ca tām mālyavatīm sutīrthām, nananda hṛsto mṛgapaksijustām; jahau ca duhkham puravipravāsāt/

Having kept on guard till late hours well past midnight, Lakshmana was tired and as the early hours of the morning arrived, Rama woke up and softly told Lakshmana to wake up, take wash and pray as it was time to commence the journey. On the care free movement of the walk forwards, and with a view to fan out enthusiasm, Rama drew Devi Sita's attention to look at the palaasha vriksha and the fresh fruits of the ongoing Vasanta season. He said that since public could never reach these places, the trees were drooping with the heaviness of the fresh fruits. In his charateristic enthusiasm Rama addressed Lakshmana too to listen to the sweet singing of 'koels' and the hearty dances of peacocks with well spread wings of amazingly arresting uniformity of the colour patterns of brightness. All through the way, Rama was truly lost in the wilderness of nature, its colourful flowers, mind blowing singings of cuckoos, the hard collection of sweetness of flowers assiduously collected by the honey bees, and the repetitive sloganeerings of chataka birds. Tatastou paada chaarena gacchatou saha Seetayaa, ranmymaasedattuh shailam Chitra kutam manoramam/ Along with Devi Sita, the Rama Lakshmana brothers hav had their extremely delightful 'pada yatra' and reached the chitrakoota. Rama was taken aback at scenic excellence of the surroundings and decided to stay back ther itself. He asked Lakshmana to settle there itself as the mounatains around were alluring with plenty of flowers and fruits and the persons settled there itself appear healthy and strong experiencing peaceful existence. Munayascha mahatmaano vasantyasmin shilaaschaye, ayam vaaso bhavet taat vayamatra vasemahi/ Rama addressed Lakshmana that they should be settling there itself as this was the 'ashrama' of several Munis too. Thus having decided, Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas approached Maharshi Vaalmiki ashram and prostrated at his feet. Then Shri Rama introduced himself, Devi Sita and brother Lakshmana and provided a brief on the past events so far. Then in the course of conversation, Maharshi advised Lakshmana to cut and fetch tree trunks so that he could teach the methodology of constructing 'kuteeraas' or hutments for human living as per 'vaastu shanti and vaastu shastra'. Maharshi Vaalmiki suggested to uproot and pull up a Gajakanda, burn it half way, perfom puja to 'adhishthaana vana devataas', then at the 'dhruva sangina soumya muhurta'initiate the installation of the 'kuteera', perform vaastu devata yagjna. Maharshi further advised Rama as follows: Ayam sarvah samastaangah shrutah krishnamrigo mayaa, Devataa Deva sankaasha yajasva kushalohyasi/ Rama! This semi burnt gajakanda tree trunk is such as to set right all the physical parts; now perform the homa kaaryas to Vaastu Devatas, as you Rama! Are an expert in the 'homa karyas'. Then Rama took his bath, followed the shoucha-santoshaadi regulations, and after the mantra pathana -japas, then entered the 'Parna Kuteera' along with Devi Sita and brother Lakshmana formally right under the guidance of no less a Mahatma of Maharshi Valmiki's stature! Then he executed Bali Vaishva Deva Karma, Rudra Yaaga and Vaishnava yaaga followed by 'Vaastu Dosha Shanti'. Further, Shri Rama set up even in that miniature 'kuteera' the 'vedi sthalas' for 'Ashta Dikpalakas' viz:Indra, Agni, Yama, Nirruti, Varuna, Vayu, Kubera and Ishana; 'Chaitya' or Ganesha adi Devas in piled up form and 'Aayatana' or the resting places for eg. Vishnu-Shiva-Brahma. Thus this Sarga is concluded: suramyam āsādya tu citrakūṭam; nadīm ca tām mālyavatīm sutīrthām, nananda hṛṣṭo mṛgapakṣijuṣṭām; jahau ca duḥkham puravipravāsāt/ Chitrakoota mountain is a memorable place of unusual glory, what with 'punya sthalas' of tirtha sthaanas, ups and downs, river ghats, and Venerable River Mandakini replete with pashu-pashis of unimaginable variety. It is at that hallowed place that Shri Rama-Devi Sita-Lakshmanas spent their joyous life time experiences ever!

[Vishleshana on Vaastu Shastra from Matsya Purana:

Eighteen Rishis gave the Rules and Regulations of Vaastu Shastra to the posterity and these Rishis were: Bhrigu, Arti, Vasishtha, Vishwakarma, Maya, Nagnajit, Bhagavan Shankara, Indra, Kumara, Nandeswara, Shounaka, Garga, Vasudeva, Aniruddha, Shukra and Brihaspati. As regards, the knowledge of *Griha Nirmaana*, the results of initiating construction activity in various *MONTHS* are as follows: in Chaitra Month 'Vyadhi'or diseases are caused; in Vaisakha the Constructors gain cows and Ratnas; in Jeyshtha Month, death is indicated in the family; in Ashadha month construction helps gain of servants, Ratnas and 'Pashus' or domestic animals; in Shraavana Month there would be gain of servants; dangers and risks in Bhadrapada Month; construction in Aswin Month might lead to risk to wife; in Kartik Month there would be gain of Dhana- Dhanya or Money and Crops; in Margasirsha month there would be surplus of Bhojyas or Food Items; commencement of construction in the month of Pausha might lead to thefts and loss of materials; Construction in Magha Month there would be benefits but some fear or possibility of Fire and finally, activities of construction during Phalguna Month should yield gold, progeny and prosperity.

Initiating the Construction of Grihas / houses is considered the best in respect of the following *NAKSHATRAS OR STARS:* Ashvini, Rohini, Mula, the three Uttaraas, Mrigashira, Swati, Hasta, and Anuradha. As regards the *DAYS*, all the days of a week are good, *except Sundays and Tuesdays*. In regard to YOGAS, construction should not start on the following yogas viz. Vyaaghat, Shula, Vyatipaat, Atiganda, Vishkambha, Ganda, Parigha and Vajra. Following *MUHURTAS* are stated to be ideal for contstruction viz. Sweta, Maitra, Maahendra, Gaandhawa, Abhijit, Rouhini, Vairaja, and Savitri. To decide on the *SHUBHA LAGNA*, the activity of construction should be commenced when the Chandra bala as also Suryabala would be equally positve. The most important activities apart, 'Stambharohana' or the hoisting of the Pillar should be taken up first; similarly the procedures should be the same as in respect of the costruction of Praasaads, wells and such mini water bodies.

SOIL TEST would be the foremost activity before the actual construction is taken up. Sweta (White), Lal (Red), Peeta (yellowish) and kaala (black) may be the ideal soils for the Four 'Varnas' of Brahmana, Kshatriya, Vaisya and Shudra respectively. Taste-wise, the soil may be sweetish for Brahmanas, sour for Kshatriyas, 'tiktha' or bitter for Vaishyas and 'Kasaili'/ Kashaya / Pungent for Shudras. As a part of the soil quality test, saplings are to be planted and the best soil quality would yield the growth over three nights; medium growth over five nights and minimal growth over a week. The best soil obviously would give out the quickest yield.

By way of a diagram, the area meant for construction is drawn as a big square which is divided into nine squares while each square is further sub-divided into nine smaller squares, thus making a total of eighty

one squares. Of these, thirty two Devatas are worshipped in as many sub-squares and thirteen Devatas from outside those sub squares, thus accounting for forty five squares. The names and the positioning of the respective Deities are: Shikhi, Parjanya, Jayant, Indra, Surya, Satya, Brusha, Antakisha, Vayu, Pusha, Vitatha, Brihatsakshatha, Yama, Gandharva, Bhring raaja, Mriga, Pitrugana, Daivarika, Sugreeva, Pushpadanta, Jalaadhusha, Asura, Sesha, Paapa, Roga, Ahi, Mukhya, Bhallata, Soma, Sarpa, Aditi and Diti; these thirty two Deities are Baahya Devatas. These Deities are to be worshipped in the four Dikkonas like Ishaana. Now, outside the Vaastu Chakra the following four Deities are to be worshipped viz. Aapa, Savitra, Jaya, and Rudra. In the middle nine squares, on the four sides of Brahma, eight Sadyha Devatas are to be positioned and these are Aryama, Savita, Viviswaan, Vibhudha -adhipa, Mitra, Raajayakshma, Prithvidhara, and Apavatsa. Apa, Apavatsa, Parjanya, Agni and Diti-these are of five Devataa varga to be worshipped in Agneya-kona. Further, twenty Devataas are positioned in two rows: Aryama, Viwaswaan, Mitra and Pritvidhara-these four are stationed on three sides of Brahma in three, three positions each. This is the Procedure of worship to all the relevant Deities.

The methodology of construction varies from one building to another such as Chatuhshaala, Trishaala; Dwishala etc. The Chatuh shaala is open from all four sides with gates /doors on all the sides, known as Sarvatomukha and is normally ideal for a Palace or a Temple. A building which has no door to the west is called Nandyavarta; without a door on the Southern side is called Vardhamaana; without a door on the Eastern side is called Swastika; and without an opening on the Northern side is Ruchaka. A King's Palace is ideally measured the hundred and eight hand-lengths, while that of a Prince has sixty six measures; a General's abode with sixty four measures; forty eight measures to forty eight measures; and thirty two for an ordinary citizen. As regards the 'Stambhas' (Pillar) in an ordinary house, its circumference is multiplied by nine times and the result must be the depth of the pillar underground; a four angled pillar is called 'Ruchak'; eight angled pillar is 'Vajra'; sixteen angled pillar is 'Dwi Vajra', thirty two angled pillar is 'Praleenak' and a pillar whose mid-region is round is called 'Vritra'. All the residential homes should be entered from the right side 'Pravesha Dwar'. Entry from the eastern side where Indra and Jayanta exist is the best; in the southern side 'dwara', it is said that Yamya and Vitatha are supposed to be ruling and is good too; on the western dwara, Varuna and Pushpadanta are prominent; Uttara dwar is governed by Bhallat and Sowmya and is quite propitious. But one should be careful of 'vedhas' or forced entries: for instance, such vedhas through side-lanes might result in 'Kulakshaya' or damage to the Vamsha; forced entry through trees might end up in mutual hatred of family members; vedha through mud would bring in sorrows; vedha through water ways would result in problems; vedha through pillars might end up through difficulties arising due to women. Entering from one house to another could end up in grief to the master of the house. A house which opens on its own might result in madness of a family member. Similarly, a house which gets closed on its own could end up in 'Kula naasha'/ distress to the Kula. Entry through a very high door could lead to 'Raja bhaya' or difficulties on account of Authorities. If the door is too low, there could by 'Chora bhaya' or fear of thefts. A door just above another door could attract Yamaraja darshan. If a house with a main door of disproportionate size is built in the middle of a big road is made, the master of the house would not live for long. If the main door is smaller than the other doors of a house, that house might not have contentment and would be a constant abode of recurring predicaments. The rear portion of the house must be kept duly adorned with trees, foliage, pots and decoratives. The east of the house there should be 'Vata' vriksha; in the Southern side Udumbara tree and the western side Pippala Tree and Pluksha tree on the northern side. Nearby the house, trees with thorns and Ksheera Vrikshas or milk-yielding trees are not good. It would be propitious to grow trees like Pumnaga, Ashoka, Shami, Tilaka, Champa, Dadimi, Peepali, Draksha, Arjuna, Jambeera, Puga, Panasa, Ketaki, Malati, Kamala Chameli, Mallika, Coconut, Kela, Kadali and Patala as these Trees are signs of Lakshmi / prosperity. Houses are better not built in the extreme vicinity of temples, Dhurtas or mischievous elements, General Adinistration, Four-LaneCenters, since there might be causes for irritation, fear and problems. Leaving ample space before, rear and sides of the building is a must. It would be advisable to have the southern part of the house elevated and such an abode is called a 'Sampurna' or complete from the Vaastu point of view and would thus bestow the best of advantages.

To lay the 'Adhara Shila' (Foundation Stone) of a building, the Priest should determine the 'Muhurat', decorate the Stone with white cloth, lay 'Nava Ratnas' and Gold along with Nava Dhanyas or nine varieties of appropriate seeds and with the help of masons fix up the stone, and perform 'puja' to Ganapati, Vaastu Deva, Ishta Devata or the Family Deity with formal 'Mantrocchaarana', also perform 'Havan' homa to Agni Deva with milk, ghee and honey: The relevant Havan Mantra is: Vaastoshpatey Pratijaanee — hyasmaantswaavesho anameevo bhavaa nah, yat tvemahey prati tanno jupuswa sham no bhava dwipatdey sham chatushpadey/

VAASTU YAGNA comprises: Sutrapath, Stambhaaropana or hoisting of the main Pillar, Dwara vamshocchraya, Griha Pravesha and Vaastu Shanti. Sutrapath takes place in the Ishana Disha and Stambhaaropana in Agneya kona. Vaastu Deva's 'Pada Chinhas' or foot prints should be set up and the 'Karta'should do 'pradakshinas' (circumambulation) around the foot-prints. It is stated that water with the powder of Munga, Ratna and Suvarna should be sprinkled while designing the 'Pada-Chihnaas'. Incidentally, the signs of Vaastu should never be ash, lit up firesticks, nails, skins, horns, bones, and skull as some ill-informed persons tend to do so and such material would lead to distress, danger and difficulties. It is advisable that masons and other workers are present at the time of Griha Pravesh. Ishaaney Devataagaaram tathaa Shaanti gruham bhavet, Mahaanasam thathaagneye tatpaarswam chottarey jalam, Gruhasyopakaram sarvam Nairutye Sthaapaded Buddhah/ Bandhasthaanam bahih kuryaat snaana mandapameyyacha, Dhana Dhaanyam cha Vaayayye karmashaalaam tato bahih, Evam Vaastu viseshah syaad Ghruha bhatruh shubaavaham/ (To the Ishaana side of any house, the Devataagruha and Shantigriha must be set up; its kitchen must be in the Agneya kona; to the northern side the 'Jala sthaan' (Water reservoir); all the house materials be kept in the Nairuti kona; the place for keeping domestic animals like cows and buffalos as well as bathing rooms are better constructed outside the house; the storage place for Dhana-dhanya should be kept in the Vayavya kona; the 'Karya shala' or the Offices should be organised outside the residential place. This pattern of living would certainly assure excellent propitiousness and happiness to the entire family. At the 'Griha Pravesh' function (House Warming Time) approaches, Peace and Prosperity is ushered in as stated: Krutwaagrato Dwijayaraanatha Purnakumbham Dhadyakshataamala pushpa phalopa shobham/ Datwaa hiranyayasanaani tadaa Dwijebhyo, Maangalya Shaanti nilayaya gruham vishekthu/ Gruhoktahoma vidhaanaa Bali karma kuryat, Praasaada Vaastu shamaney cha vidharya uktah, Santarpayed vijavaraanatha bhakshya bhojjyeh, Shuklaambarah Swabhavanam pravishet sa dhupam/

(As the house is fully ready, the Head of the family should initiate the action of conducting 'Mangala Shanti' with a group of Brahmanas ahead along with a 'Kalasha'/Vessel, full of Sweet Water, Curd, Akshatas, tender mango leaves, flowers, fruits and coconuts as also scented sandal water, agarbattis/incense sticks and oil-wick lamps nicely lit and decorated, as Brahmanas recite Veda hymns and musical instruments are played, while entering the house at the appointed 'Muhurta'. There after Griha praasaadas/ doors and other household items are purified for Vaastu Shaanti and Homa and Balidaana are performed. Brahmanas are treated with Bhojan and gifts of gold, vastras and dakshinas, where after relatives and friends are treated too with bhojan and gifts.)

Sarga Fifty Seven

Sumantra reaches Ayodhya- 'aarta naadaas' by public and Dasharatha and queens

Kathayitvā suduḥkhārtaḥ sumantreṇa ciram saha, rāme dakṣiṇa kūlasthe jagāma svagṛham guhaḥ/ anujñātaḥ sumantro 'tha yojayitvā hayottamān, ayodhyām eva nagarīm prayayau gāḍhadurmanāḥ/ sa vanāni sugandhīni saritaś ca sarāmsi ca, paśyann atiyayau śīghram grāmāṇi nagarāṇi ca/ tataḥ sāyāhnasamaye tṛtīye 'hani sārathiḥ, ayodhyām samanuprāpya nirānandām dadarśa ha/ sa śūnyām iva niḥśabdām dṛṣṭvā paramadurmanāḥ, sumantraś cintayām āsa śokavegasamāhataḥ/ kaccin na sagajā sāśvā sajanā sajanādhipā, rāma samtāpaduḥkhena dagdhā śokāgninā purī, iti cintāparaḥ sūtas tvaritaḥ praviveśa ha/ sumantram abhiyāntam tam śataśo 'tha sahasraśaḥ, kva rāma iti pṛcchantaḥ sūtam

abhyadravan narāh/ tesām śaśamsa gangāyām aham āprcchya rāghavam, anujñāto nivrtto 'smi dhārmikeņa mahātmanā/ te tīrņā iti vijñāya bāspapūrņamukhā janāh, aho dhig iti niḥśvasya hā rāmeti ca cukruśuh/ śuśrāva ca vacas teṣām vṛndam vṛndam ca tiṣṭhatām, hatāḥ sma khalu ye neha paśyāma iti rāghavam/ dānayajñavivāheşu samājeşu mahatsu ca, na drakṣyāmaḥ punar jātu dhārmikam rāmam antarā/ kim samartham janasvāsva kim privam kim sukhāvaham, iti rāmena nagaram pitrvat paripālitam/ vātāyanagatānām ca strīṇām anvantarāpaṇam, rāmaśokābhitaptānām śuśrāva paridevanam/ sa rājamārgamadhyena sumantrah pihitānanah, yatra rājā daśarathas tad evopayayau grham/ so 'vatīrya rathāc chīghram rājavesma pravisva ca, kaksvāh saptābhicakrāma mahājanasamākulāh/ tato daśarathastrīnām prāsādebhyas tatas tatah, rāmaśokābhitaptānām mandam śuśrāva jalpitam/ saha rāmena niryāto vinā rāmam ihāgatah, sūtah kim nāma kausalyām socantīm prativaksyati/ yathā ca manye durjīvam evam na sukaram dhruvam, ācchidya putre niryāte kausalyā yatra jīvati/satya rūpam tu tadvākyam rājñaḥ strīṇām niśāmayan, pradīptam iva śokena viveśa sahasā gṛham/ sa praviśyāṣṭamīm kakşyām rājānam dīnam ātulam, putraśokaparidyūnam apaśyat pāṇḍare grhe/ abhigamya tam āsīnam narendram abhivādya ca, sumantro rāmavacanam yathoktam pratyavedayat/ sa tūṣṇīm eva tac chrutvā rājā vibhrānta cetanah, mūrchito nyapatad bhūmau rāmaśokābhipīditah/ tato 'ntahpuram āviddham mūrchite pṛthivīpatau, uddhṛtya bāhū cukrośa nṛpatau patite kṣitau/ sumitrayā tu sahitā kausalyā patitam patim, utthāpayām āsa tadā vacanam cedam abravīt/ imam tasya mahābhāga dūtam duṣkarakāriṇaḥ, vanavāsād anuprāptam kasmān na pratibhāsase/ advemam anayam krtvā vyapatrapasi rāghava, uttistha sukṛtam te 'stu soke na syāt sahāyatā/ deva yasyā bhayād rāmam nānupṛcchasi sārathim, neha tisthati kaikeyī viśrabdham pratibhāṣyatām/ sā tathoktvā mahārājam kausalyā śokalālasā, dharaṇyām nipapātāśu bāspaviplutabhāsinī/evam vilapatīm drstvā kausalyām patitām bhuvi, patim cāveksya tāḥ sarvāḥ sasvaram ruruduḥ striyaḥ/ tatas tam antaḥpuranādam utthitam; samīkṣya vṛddhās taruṇāś ca mānavāh, striyas ca sarvā ruruduh samantatah; puram tadāsīt punar eva samkulam/

As Sumantra who very much desired to stay back and accompany Rama-Sita- Lakshmanas too without returning to Ayodhya was some how reconciled as Rama had convincingly demanded him to return to Ayodhya. From Shringverapura on the second day evening on his return, he witnessd that the entire Ayodhya was lifeless and silent. He ruminated with melancholy and depression that no noise was heard, no activity on roads and markets, and along with men and women even cows, horses, and elephants were devoid of any presence; it appeared that right from the King to all the Beings in Ayodhya were apparently burnt off with silence as of a dead city! As Sumantra's chariot appeared at the outskirts, suddenly the news spread and thousands of the citizens ran towards the chariot shouting 'where is Rama now"! As the chariot slowed down somewhat, Sumantra replied: tesām śaśamsa gangāyām aham āprcchya rāghavam, anujñāto nivṛtto 'smi dhārmikena mahātmanā' te tīrnā iti vijñāya bāspapūrnamukhā janāh, aho dhig iti niḥśvasya hā rāmeti ca cukruśuḥ/ Friends! I had gone upto the banks of Ganga along with Shri Raghunadha and the latter instructed me to return back to Ayodhya'. Then Sumanra broke out with loud cryings with gasping breathlessness shouting with his fists beating his chest: 'Ha Rama, Ha Rama' repeatedly.' Then having some what recovered, he murmered: 'Ha! We are all ruined and killed, we may not visualize him again! dānavajñavivāhesu samājesu mahatsu ca, na draksvāmah punar jātu dhārmikam rāmam antarā/ kim samartham janasyāsya kim priyam kim sukhāvaham, iti rāmeņa nagaram pitrvat paripālitam/ Have we to witness and perform all kinds of 'dhaarmic' and social activities without Rama's presence ever! What kind of things and activities that we could perfom hereafter without Rama's presence!' Thus Sumantra had haltingly let the horses move slowly having covered his face with dark cloth wrapped, drifted away towards the Raja Bhavan where King Dasharatha was lying like a 'living corpse'! Even as Sumantra descended the chariot, the womenfolk raised huge alarms and 'hahakaras' and chest beatings looking at each other; the noises became more and more thunderous with reverberations and King Dasharatha who had been thus far in semi-consciousness woke up agitatedly and having realised that Sumantra should have returned and thought as to which kind of explanation to offer to Devi Kousalya! At the same time, Kousalya too having sensed the arrival of Sumantra felt within herself, that Sumantra should be thinking as to how Kousalya was still alive despite Rama having been pushed off to forests on the morning of his raivabhisheka! It was at that moment of self appraisals of the King and the

Prime Queen that Sumantra stepped in. He reported to the King about the details of his travel in great detail. Dasharadha heard what all Sumantra conveyed and at the end of the reportings, looked blank and fell down unconscious on earth even as the surrounding men and women raised huge alarms. Then with the help of the co queen Devi Sumitra, Koushalya lifted the King to bed. Then as the King got slightly recovered, she addressed the King and said: 'Maha Raja! Sumantra has returned now and why don't you please ask him about Rama's welfare! Are you feeling ashamed of what had happened! Are you not a Satyavaadi! If you cry, then do you not feel that your near and dears too would follow your example of 'yathaa Raja, tathaa praja'! Now , Devi Kaikeyi is not present; so you may fearlessly enquire about your son's happenings.' Having burst out with anguish, Devi Kousalya too fell unconscious and the entire womanhood screamed in high pitch and so did the totality of Ayodhya!

Sarga Fifty Eight

Sumantra conveys Shri Rama- Lakshmanas's messages to the father and mothers

Pratyāśvasto yadā rājā mohāt pratyāgatah punah, athājuhāva tam sūtam rāmavṛttāntakāraṇāt/ vṛddham paramasamtaptam navagraham iva dvipam, viniḥśvasantam dhyāyantam asvastham iva kuñjaram/ rājā tu rajasā sūtam dhvastāngam samupasthitam, aśru pūrnamukham dīnam uvāca paramārtavat/ kva nu vatsyati dharmātmā vṛksamūlam upāśritah, so 'tyantasukhitah sūta kim aśisyati rāghavah, bhūmipālātmajo bhūmau śete katham anāthavat/ yam yāntam anuyānti sma padāti rathakuñjarāh, sa vatsvati katham rāmo vijanam vanam āśritah/ vyālair mrgair ācaritam krsnasarpanisevitam, katham kumārau vaidehyā sārdham vanam upasthitau,/ sukumāryā tapasvinyā sumantra saha sītayā, rājaputrau katham pādair avaruhya rathād gatau/ siddhārthah khalu sūta tvam yena drstau mamātmajau, vanāntam praviśantau tāv aśvināv iva mandaram/kim uvāca vaco rāmah kim uvāca ca laksmanah, sumantra vanam āsādya kim uvāca ca maithilī, āsitaṁ śayitaṁ bhuktaṁ sūta rāmasya kīrtaya/ iti sūto narendrena coditah sajjamānayā, uvāca vācā rājānam sabāspaparirabdhayā/ abravīn mām mahārāja dharmam evānupālayan, añjalim rāghavah kṛtvā śirasābhipraṇamya ca/ sūta madvacanāt tasya tātasya viditātmanah, sirasā vandanīvasva vandvau pādau mahātmanah/ sarvam antahpuram vācvam sūta mad vacanāt tvavā, ārogvam aviśesena vathārham cābhivādanam/ mātā ca mama kausalvā kuśalam cābhivādanam, devi devasya pādau ca devavat paripālaya/ bharataḥ kuśalam vācyo vācyo madvacanena ca, sarvāsv eva yathānyāyam vrttim vartasva mātrsu/ vaktavyaś ca mahābāhur iksvākukulanandanah, pitaram yauvarājyastho rājyastham anupālaya/ ity evam mām mahārāja bruvann eva mahāyaśāh, rāmo rājīvatāmrākso bhrśam aśrūny avartayat/ laksmanas tu susamkruddho nihśvasan vākyam abravīt, kenāyam aparādhena rājaputro vivāsitah/ yadi pravrājito rāmo lobhakāranakāritam, varadānanimittam vā sarvathā duṣkṛtam kṛtam, rāmasya tu parityāge na hetum upalakṣaye/ asamīkṣya samārabdham viruddham buddhilāghavāt, janayisyati samkrośam rāghavasya vivāsanam/ aham tāvan mahārāje pitṛtvam nopalakṣaye, bhrātā bhartā ca bandhuś ca pitā ca mama rāghavaḥ/ sarvalokapriyam tyaktvā sarvalokahite ratam, sarvaloko 'nurajyeta katham tvānena karmanā/jānakī tu mahārāja nihśvasantī tapasvinī, bhūtopahatacitteva visthitā vrsmrtā sthitā/ adrstapūrvavvasanā rājaputrī vaśasvinī, tena duḥkhena rudatī naiva mām kim cid abravīt/ udvīkṣamāṇā bhartāram mukhena pariśuṣyatā, mumoca sahasā bāspam mām prayāntam udīksya sā/ tathaiva rāmo 'śrumukhah kṛtāñjalih; sthito 'bhaval laksmanabāhupālitah,tathaiva sītā rudatī tapasvinī; nirīksate rājaratham tathaiva mām/

As King Dasharatha got fully recovered from his state of unconsciousness, he called for Sumantra and asked him as to what Rama gave as his parting message. At that time, the Suta Sumantra was full of dust and mud, with swollen eyes having cried all the way back and having prostrated to the King was unable to speak coherently. Then the King showered questions in a torrential manner asked: kva nu vatsyati dharmātmā vṛkṣamūlam upāśritaḥ, so 'tyantasukhitaḥ sūta kim aśiṣyati rāghavaḥ, bhūmi pālātmajo bhūmau śete katham anāthavat/ yaṁ yāntam anuyānti sma padāti rathakuñjarāḥ, sa vatsyati kathaṁ rāmo vijanaṁ vanam āśritah/ Suta! How could Dharmatma Shri Rama could live under the shades of

trees! He has been a pampered son all his life so far; what would be eating right now! Sumantra! He has never ever been subjected to any type of grief in his life, how is he able to bear this misery now! He is used to soft and princely cushions for sleep, how is he able to lie down on stoney and uneven bare earth! When ever he was to travel, soldiers were walking or riding by horses and elephants behind and ahead; now like an 'anaadha' walks on rocks and watery slushes in loneliness but for his wife and brother! vyālair mrgair ācaritam krsnasarpanisevitam, katham kumārau vaidehyā sārdham vanam upasthitau./ As poisonous cobras crawl and dangerous fierce lions and tigers move about freely, how could Rama survive along with Sita and Lakshmana walking barefooted. Sarathi! You are indeed fortunate to witness Rama-Sita-Lakshnanas entering and braving the fearful jungles as Ashvini Kumaras roam about Mandaraachala forests! kim uvāca vaco rāmaḥ kim uvāca ca lakṣmaṇaḥ, sumantra vanam āsādya kim uvāca ca maithilī, āsitam śayitam bhuktam sūta rāmasya kīrtaya/Sumantra! While parting from Rama and Sita, what was the message that the had given! Do please tell me the details of how Rama was seated, slept off, eaten and so on. If only you could provide me these finer details, I should feel like my ancestor King Yayati had slipped down from heaven into the company of 'satpurushas'; you would be like wise blessed to provide me the details of the daily-hourly-and even minute details of Rama. [Refer to Sarga Thirteen above] Subsequently, Sarathi Sumantra replied giving the parting messages of Rama to the King Dasharatha and his mother Devi Koushalya respectively. The message to the King first: 'Maha Raja! My earnest prostrations to you; on my behalf I am requesting Sumantra to stoop down and touch your feet. I seek your indulgence to very kindly convey our welfare to my respected mothers and to seek their blessings to us'. Further Maha Raja! Shri Rama addressed his dear mother Devi Kousalya as follows: 'Respected Mother! My sincere prostrations to you. I am safe and so are Sita-Lakshmanas who are also seeking to convey their respective 'paada abhivandanaas' to you. I am always fully conscious of 'dharma pari paalana'. I request you to duly and dutifully perform agnihotra kaarya' and devata puja every day and faithfully serve Maharaja as your 'nitya devata' by performing his 'charana seva'. Futher by discarding your sense of superiority and seniority, I solicit your indulgence to treat my co-mothers especially Mother Kaikeyi. Do provide due recognition to Yuva Raja Bharata on his arrival back. Please appreciate the Raja Dharma and treat him accordingly. vaktavyaś ca mahābāhur ikṣvākukulanandanah, pitaram vauvarājyastho rājyastham anupālaya/ Dear brother! I am sure that you would pay equal consideration for all the mothers. After your Yuva Rajaabhisheka, I am confident that you would uphold the outstanding reputation of Ikshvaku Vamsha as also take all precautions to ensure the good health of our dearest father. The King has become aged and of unsteady health and hence you may have to sincerely follow and abide by his adminitrative decisions without hurting his psyche. Yuva Raja Bharata! Kindly look after my dear mother well and accord proper treatment'. Having thus reported what all Shri Rama had stated, Sumantra stopped reporting. He said that at that time, Shri Rama who is well known for his self restraint broke down with tears rolling down his cheeks. Sumantra further continued the narration to the King: As Rama was crying away expressing Bharata's possible maltreatment to Devi Kousalya, brother Lakshmana took the offensive and shouted: 'Sumantra! Tell me as to which unpardonable sin that Rama had perpetrated to deserve banishmen to dandakaranya for an excruciating fourteen years!! Raja Dashratha had got the instruction of Kaikeyi and at once without thinking even for a while the respected father took a far reaching and irrvocable decision to banish Rama. Lakshmana in his characteristic anger and anguish raised his tone: yadi pravrājito rāmo lobhakāraņakāritam, varadānanimittam vā sarvathā duṣkṛtam kṛtam, rāmasya tu parityāge na hetum upalakṣaye/ asamīkṣya samārabdham viruddham buddhilāghavāt, janayisyati samkrośam rāghavasya vivāsanam/Whether this act of highhandedness originated from Kaikeyi's avarice or the King's indecisive incompetence, I strongly feel with assertion that the act was a

glaring sin! Whether this act of banishing Rama for jungle life was due to the King's incapacity or an act of God, but surely this is abhorable and disgusting. This action is a blatant violation of the established principles and having been perpetrated by a father is no father! As far as I am concerned, I do not have the truthful feeling of the King as a father, but indeed Rama is my brother, father figure, closest friend and my master!' While reporting to King Dasharatha in the presence of Devis Kousalya and Sumitra, Charioteer Sumantra also conveyed the reaction of Devi Sita too; Tapasvini and Maha Pativrata Janaka nandini at the time of his departure, she took long and elongated breathing and stood still; she was obviously moved by the physical and mental tortures of her husband as shared by her too, kept on weeping with her head down and suffering her fate. As Sumantra's chatiot moved on, she kept on staring into wilderness; Sumantra then out of desperation stated: 'May not this misfortune befall even to enemies and Rakshasaas'!

Sarga Fifty Nine

Condition of the Ayodhya public at the state of Ramas distresses Dashatratha extremely

Mama tv aśvā nivṛttasya na prāvartanta vartmani, uṣṇam aśru vimuñcanto rāme samprasthite vanam/ ubhābhyām rājaputrābhyām atha krtvāham ajñalim, prasthito ratham āsthāya tad duḥkham api dhārayan/ guheva sārdham tatraiva sthito 'smi divasān bahūn, āśayā yadi mām rāmah punah śabdāpayed iti/ visaye te mahārāja rāmavyasanakarśitāh, api vṛksāh parimlānah sapuspāṅkurakorakāh/ na ca sarpanti sattvāni vyālā na prasaranti ca, rāmaśokābhibhūtam tan niṣkūjam abhavad vanam/ līnapuskarapatrāś ca narendra kaluşodakāḥ, samtaptapadmāh padminyo līnamīnavihamgamāh/ jalajāni ca puṣpāṇi mālyāni sthalajāni ca, nādya bhānty alpagandhīni phalāni ca yathā puram/ praviśantam ayodhyām mām na kaś cid abhinandati, narā rāmam apaśyanto nihśvasanti muhur muhuh/ harmyair vimānaih prāsādair aveksya ratham āgatam, hāhākārakrtā nāryo rāmādarśanakarśitāh/ āyatair vimalair netrair aśruvegapariplutaih, anyonyam abhivīkṣante vyaktam ārtatarāḥ striyaḥ/ nāmitrāṇām na mitrānām udāsīnajanasya ca, aham ārtatayā kam cid viśesam nopalaksaye/ aprahrstamanusyā ca dīnanāgaturamgamā, ārtasvaraparimlānā viniḥśvasitaniḥsvanā/ nirānandā mahārāja rāmapravrājanātulā, kausalyā putra hīneva ayodhyā pratibhāti mā/ sūtasya vacanam śrutvā vācā paramadīnayā, bāspopahatavā rājā tam sūtam idam abravīt/ kaikevvā vinivuktena pāpābhijanabhāvavā, mavā na mantrakuśalair vrddhaih saha samarthitam/ na suhrdbhir na cāmātyair mantrayitvā na naigamaih, mayāyam arthaḥ sammohāt strīhetoḥ sahasā kṛtaḥ/ bhavitavyatayā nūnam idam vā vyasanam mahat, kulasyāsya vināśāya prāptam sūta yadrcchayā/ sūta yady asti te kim cin mayāpi sukrtam krtam, tvam prāpayāśu mām rāmam prānāh samtvarayanti mām/ yad yad yāpi mamaivājñā nivartayatu rāghavam, na śaksyāmi vinā rāma muhūrtam api jīvitum/ atha vāpi mahābāhur gato dūram bhavisyati, mām eva ratham āropya śīghram rāmāya darśaya/ vṛttadamstro mahesvāsah kvāsau laksmanapūrvajah, yadi jīvāmi sādhv enam paśyeyam saha sītayā/ lohitākṣam mahābāhum āmuktamanikuṇḍalam, rāmam yadi na paśyāmi gamişyāmi yamakşayam/ ato nu kim duḥkhataram yo 'ham ikşvākunandanam, imām avasthām āpanno neha paśyāmi rāghavam/ hā rāma rāmānuja hā hā vaidehi tapasvinī, na mām jānīta duḥkhena mriyamānam anāthayat, dustaro jīvatā devi mayāyam śokasāgarah/ aśobhanam yo 'ham ihādya rāghavam; didṛkṣamāṇo na labhe salakṣmaṇam, itīva rājā vilapan mahāyaśāḥ; papāta tūrṇam śayane sa mūrchitaḥ/iti vilapati pārthive pranaṣṭe; karuṇataram dviguṇam ca rāmahetoḥ, vacanam anuniśamya tasva devī; bhayam agamat punar eva rāmamātā/

Saaradhi Sumantra continued about his return from Sita-Rama-Lakshmanas as his eyes were overflowing with tears and the heart was aching with heaviness while he was greeting them with folded hands.. His concentration on the return path was weak replete with cryings aloud. He wondered whether without returning to Ayodhya, he could stay back with Guha Raja who guided Ramas in crossing Sacred Ganga

by the boat. As perforce started the return journey, I witnessed that freshness of flowers was not noticed while the fruits on the trees were getting dried up. Waterbodies were looking dried up, animal groups were lying scattered without food and even snakes and other piosonous ceatures were lying on way without hissings and rapid runs. As rivers were not sparkling with fying fishes, the water birds were seated on dried up tree branches on the banks. Maha Raja! The green gardens of Ayodhya were looking dried up, as the chirruping birds were in hideouts. On the ever buzzing high roads with traffic snarls were empty and a few groups of men and women noticing Sumantra's chariot empty were heaving long breathings with disppointment yet a few of them being inquisitive got surrounded. Even from distances, the load cryings and breast beatings of scattered groups of the public were audible. Sumantra continued his narration to King Dasharaatha: aprahṛstamanusyā ca dīnanāgaturamgamā, ārtasvaraparimlānā vinihśvasitanihsvanā/ nirānandā mahārāja rāmapravrāja- nātulā, kausalyā putra hīneva ayodhyā pratibhāti mā/ Maha Raja! The citizens of Ayodhya are totally listless and enervated. Even horses and elephants are inactive and lying in groups. They are just like Devi Kousalya looking blank and bleak.' As Suta Sumantra concluded his narration, King Dasharatha raised his voice! kaikeyyā viniyuktena pāpābhijanabhāvavā, mavā na mantrakuśalair vrddhaih saha samarthitam/ na suhrdbhir na cāmātvair mantrayitvā na naigamaih, mayāyam arthah sammohāt strīhetoh sahasā kṛtah/ bhavitavyatayā nūnam idam vā vyasanam mahat, kulasyāsya vināśāya prāptam sūta yadrcchayā/ Suta Sumantra! I had myself brought about this tragedy at the evil advice of that evil woman Kaikeyi unilaterally, even without consulting the learned and experienced Gurus and well wishers. I am wholly responsible for this cruel act due to my infatuation for the heartless villainess! Sumantra! This horrible and thoughtless decision of mine has happened irrevocably for the downfall and obliteration of this glorious empire! Can you now be kind enough to let me reach Rama at once as I donot think that I could survive without seeing him in person. May I entreat you to please do so at once as I might have to soon enough visit Yama loka without seeing him. Then Dasharadha cried out loudly: hā rāma rāmānuja hā hā vaidehi tapasvinī, na mām jānīta duhkhena mriyamānam anāthavat, dustaro jīvatā devi mayāyam śokasāgarah/ Ha Rama! Ha Lakshmana! Ha Videhararaja kumari tapasvini Sita! You have no idea as to how, I am dying for you as an 'anaadha' the truly helpless!' As King Dasharatha was totally drowned with uninterruptible flood of grief likewise, he had once again got into unconsciousness as Devi Kousalva got terribly alarmed and started behaving rather wildly!

Sarga Sixty

Anguish and sufferance of Devi Kouasalya sought to be assuaged by Sumantra

Tato bhūtopasṛṣṭeva vepamānā punah punah, dharaṇyām gatasattveva kausalyā sūtam abravīt/ naya mām yatra kākutsthaḥ sītā yatra ca lakṣmaṇaḥ, tān vinā kṣaṇam apy atra jīvitum notsahe hy aham/ nivartaya ratham śīghram daṇḍakān naya mām api, atha tān nānugacchāmi gamiṣyāmi yamakṣayam/ bāspavegaupahatavā sa vācā sajjamānavā, idam āśvāsavan devīm sūtah prāñjalir abravīt/ tvaja śokam ca moham ca sambhramam duhkhajam tathā, vyayadhūya ca samtāpam vane vatsvati rāghayah/ lakṣmaṇaś cāpi rāmasya pādau paricaran vane, ārādhayati dharmajñaḥ paralokam jitendriyaḥ/ vijane 'pi vane sītā vāsam prāpya gṛhesv iva, visrambham labhate 'bhītā rāme samnyasta mānasā/ nāsyā dainyam kṛtam kim cit susūksmam api laksaye, uciteva pravāsānām vaidehī pratibhāti mā/ nagaropavanam gatvā yathā sma ramate purā, tathaiva ramate sītā nirjanesu vanesv api/ bāleva ramate sītā bālacandranibhānanā, rāmā rāme hy adīnātmā vijane 'pi vane satī/ tadgatam hrdayam hy asyās tad adhīnam ca jīvitam, ayodhyāpi bhavet tasyā rāma hīnā tathā vanam/ pathi pṛcchati vaidehī grāmāms ca nagarāṇi ca, gatim dṛṣṭvā nadīnām ca pādapān vividhān api/ adhvanā vāta vegena sambhrameṇātapena ca, na hi gacchati vaidehyāś candrāmśusadrśī prabhā/ sadrśam śatapatrasya pūrņacandropama prabham, vadanam tadvadānyāyā vaidehyā na vikampate/ alaktarasaraktābhāv alaktarasavarjitau, adyāpi caranau tasyāh padmakośasamaprabhau/ nūpurodghustaheleva khelam gacchati bhāminī, idānīm api vaidehī tadrāgā nyastabhūṣaṇā/ gajam vā vīkṣya simham vā vyāghram vā vanam āśritā, nāhārayati samtrāsam bāhū rāmasva samśritā/ na śocvās te na cātmā te śocvo nāpi janādhipah, idam hi caritam loke pratiṣṭhāsyati śāśvatam/ vidhūya śokaṁ parihr̞ṣṭamānasā; maharṣiyāte pathi suvyavasthitāḥ, vane ratā vanyaphalāśanāḥ pituḥ; śubhāṁ pratijñāṁ paripālayanti te/ tathāpi sūtena suyuktavādinā; nivāryamāṇā sutaśokakarśitā, na caiva devī virarāma kūjitāt; priyeti putreti ca rāghaveti ca/

Devi Kousalya became shaking severely as though with 'bhuta aavesha' or as if a devil entered into her psyche, and loudly instructed Sumantra: naya mām yatra kākutsthah sītā yatra ca lakṣmaṇaḥ, tān vinā kṣaṇam apy atra jīvitum notsahe hy aham/ nivartaya ratham śīghram daṇḍakān naya mām api, atha tān nānugacchāmi gamiṣyāmi yamakṣayam/ 'Where ever Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas are, reach me atonce; if not, I should make my travel to Yama Loka!' Sumantra got alarmed as Devi Kousalya was shouting, he replied in low voice: Maha Rani! Please do not get rattled up with shoka-moha-and duhkha; Shri Rama would have comfortably settled down while Lakashmana and Devi Sita should be at his tranquil feet. Devi Sita should be performing puja to Rama by now with devotion and unshaken faith and that should why she must have been fearless. To my reckoning, she must have already got reconciled and even accustomed to the present situation. Do you not recall her frequent visits to nearby forests for fun, often all by herself! She must be by now playful with Rama like a carefree lass in that celestial company of hers! tadgatam hrdayam hy asyās tad adhīnam ca jīvitam, ayodhyāpi bhavet tasyā rāma hīnā tathā vanam/ Devi Sita's heart is replete with Rama and her very life is tied up firmly with him; be it Ayodhya or dense forests, it is just the same for her with Rama. I recall that on way to the forests, she was curious about each kind of tree, or flower of fruit as she is a true nature lover. She used to some times convey to Rama Lakshmanas that she liked to go alone in the garden -like- wildernesses with vegetation, wild fruits and roots nearby! I recall that Devi Sita had never commented about Kaikevi's highhandedness. On the other hand she was always expressing Devi Koushalya's magnificence, her spontaneous reactions even against oddities and her generosity. Even her tiresomeness of long chariot rides with ups and downs on the way, the attacks of speedy currents of winds, the views of loathsome or frightening scenes on way, or the blazing severity of Sun, had not disturbed her as though she was always in the care of cool rays of Chandra! After all, she is under the constant care and vigil of Shri Rama, then why should be concerned of wid elephants, cruel tigers and lions! na śocyās te na cātmā te śocyo nāpi janādhipaḥ, idam hi caritam loke pratisthāsvati śāśvatam/ vidhūva śokam parihrstamānasā; maharsivāte pathi suvvavasthitāh, vane ratā vanyaphalāśanāh pituh; śubhām pratijñām paripālavanti te/Therfore Maha Rani! Never ever cry for Rama Lakshmanas and least of all for me but do kindly concentrate on Maha Raja's health and your well being. Be this known that Shri Rama divya charitra should be ever popular till mankind lasts!' So saying Sumantra assuaged the shaken up self confidence of Devi Kousalya.

Sarga Sixty One

Kousalya's crying protests against Dasharatha

Vanam gate dharmapare rāme ramayatām vare, kausalyā rudatī svārtā bhartāram idam abravīt/ yady apitriṣu lokeṣu prathitam te mayad yaśaḥ, sānukrośo vadānyaś ca priyavādī ca rāghavaḥ/ katham naravaraśreṣṭha putrau tau saha sītayā, duḥkhitau sukhasamvṛddhau vane duḥkham sahiṣyataḥ/ sā nūnam taruṇī śyāmā sukumārī sukhocitā, katham uṣṇam ca śītam ca maithilī prasahiṣyate/ bhuktvāśanam viśālākṣī sūpadamśānvitam śubham, vanyam naivāram āhāram katham sītopabhokṣyate/ gītavāditranirghoṣam śrutvā śubham aninditā, katham kravyādasimhānām śabdam śroṣyaty aśobhanam/mahendradhvajasamkāśaḥ kva nu śete mahābhujaḥ, bhujam parighasamkāśam upadhāya mahābalaḥ/ padmavarṇam sukeśāntam padmaniḥśvāsam uttamam, kadā drakṣyāmi rāmasya vadanam puṣkarekṣaṇam/ vajrasāramayam nūnam hṛdayam me na samśayaḥ, apaśyantyā na tam yad vai phalatīdam sahasradhā/ yadi pañcadaśe varṣe rāghavaḥ punar eṣyati, jahyād rājyam ca kośam ca bharatenopabhokṣyate/ evam kanīyasā bhrātrā bhuktam rājyam viśām pate, bhrātā jyeṣṭhā variṣṭhāś ca kimartham nāvamamsyate/ na pareṇāhṛtam bhakṣyam vyāghraḥ khāditum icchati, evam eva naravyāghraḥ paralīḍham na mamsyate/ havir ājyam puroḍāśāḥ kuśā yūpāś ca khādirāḥ, naitāni vātayāmāni kurvanti punar adhvare/ tathā hv āttam idam rājyam hrtasārām surām iva, nābhimantum

alam rāmo naṣṭasomam ivādhvaram/ naivamvidham asatkāram rāghavo marṣayiṣyati, balavān iva śārdūlo bāladher abhimarśanam/ sa tādṛśaḥ simhabalo vṛṣabhākṣo nararṣabhaḥ, svayam eva hataḥ pitrā jalajenātmajo yathā/ dvijāti carito dharmaḥ śāstradṛṣṭaḥ sanātanaḥ, yadi te dharmanirate tvayā putre vivāsite/ gatir evāk patir nāryā dvitīyā gatir ātmajaḥ, tṛtīyā jñātayo rājamś caturthī neha vidyate/ tatra tvam caiva me nāsti rāmaś ca vanam āśritaḥ, na vanam gantum icchāmi sarvathā hi hatā tvayā/ hatam tvayā rājyam idam sarāṣṭram; hatas tathātmā saha mantribhiś ca, hatā saputrāsmi hatāś ca paurāḥ; sutaś ca bhāryā ca tava prahṛṣṭau/ imām giram dāruṇaśabdasamśritām; niśamya rājāpi mumoha duḥkhitaḥ, tataḥ sa śokam praviveśa pārthivaḥ; svaduṣkṛtam cāpi punas tadāsmarat/

Having heard Saarathi Sumantra's detailed account on return from the entry point of the Deep forests and the ever hard life ahead of Sita Rama Lakshmanas, Devi Kousalya addressed King Dasharatha as follows: 'Maha Raja! As is well realised by Tri Lokas, you are the kindest, broad minded, soft spoken Dharmatma! But, you have not realised that your sons and daughter-in-law brought up with luxurious background would encounter unusual and unheard of difficulties of deep forest living. How had you ever imagined that a just married princess of some sixteen-eighteen years of Devi Sita could bear the extremities of scorching heat and freezing cold under the open skies! Devi Sita being of royal bakground is used to taste and leave away 'pancha bhaksha paramaannas' but now would have to bite dried up and semi cooked food out of sheer necessity! She is used to auspiciousness and objects of lavishness listening to soft and soothing musical notes around, but now would have to ear breaking roars of lions right before her!Maha Bali-Maha baahu Shri Rama was used to rest his broad shoulders, strong and tall hands on cushioned and well raised head rest but now sleep of like a wooden log due to extreme tiresomeness on bare earth full of dust. When indeed in my life time that I could vision his readily arresting countenanace like an open lotus of freshness with his soft breathing of scented flowers and ever sparkling eyes and cool looks! My heart is made of steel and even without seeing him may it not break into smithereens and splintered pieces. I must have in my past life been apparently a cruel monster without mercy and that is why my consciousness keeps running to the deep forests! I am not convinced that even after the end of the prescribed 'vana vaasa', Bharata would not leave the treasury. Maha Raja! It is said that in the 'shraddha karmas', some house holders of selfishness tend to serve food to the near and dears of the family of the karta and then later on to the prescribed Brahmana atithis! But, the truly virtuous and learned vidvans refrain from consuming even drops of 'amrita' before serving to the 'athithi brahmanas'. At the same time, those brahmanas who finish off their bhojanas first do get up and walk away, the learned vidvans being unable to finish off soon seek to some how gulp out of shyness. The golden rule of 'panti bhojana' is to keep pace with the co-eaters. Further, an ox is not ready to part with the stick firmed up into the earth!. Evam kaneeyasaa bhraatraa bhuktam raajyam vishaampate, bhraataa jyeshtho varishthascha kimartham naavamanyate/ Maha Raja! On this very analogy, how could the elder and most suitable brother is disallowed in favour of the younger, and how could the elder brother accept the 'ucchhistha'! Just as havishya, ghrita, purodasha, and kusha grass once utilised in one yagina are never utilised in another yagina, how indeed a kingdom ruled by the younger brother be accepted by the elder brother! Like wise again, is it possible to consume 'soma rasa' in one yagina be consumed once again in another yagina! Just as a powerful tiger's tail is not possible to hold by some one, then would the tiger not bear that insult! Could a person of Ramas's stature bear that insult either! Naitasya sahitaa lokaa bhayam kuryur mahaamrudhe, adharma tvahi dharmatmaa lokam dharmena yojayet/ Even if all the lokaas are united and wage a battle unitedly, Rama is unnerved facing them all; but in this way that the kingdom is taken away in grave injustice, then even he did not transgress the precincts of dharma; after all, could a dharmatma like Rama himself resort to adharma! Moreover, Maha parakrami Maha baahu Rama with his golden arrows could burn off maha samudra, like Samvartaka Agni Deva in the pralaya time could devastate the praana koti! Unfortunately however, Maha Veera Rama was devoured by his own father like a big fish devours its own small fish! Maha Raja! Gatirekaa patirnaaryaa dviteeyaa gatiraatmajah, triteeyaa

jnaatayo Raajanchaturthaa naiva vidyate/ It is said that the support for a woman is her husband, later her son, further the father's brother or other relatives, and there beyond none at all. [Manu Smriti is quoted in this context: Pitaarakshati Kaumare Bhartaa rakshati youvane, Putrastu sthaavire bhaave na stree swaatantrya marhati/ Sookshmebhyopi prasangebhyah striyo rakshyaa visheshatah, Dvayorhikulayoh shokamaavahed arakshitaah/ Imam hi sarva varnaanaam pashyanto dharmamuttamam/ Paanam durjana samsargah patyaacha virahotanam, Svapnonyageha vaasascha naaree sandushanaani shat/(During the 'Kaumara dasha' before wedding, the father takes the responsibility, whereafter the husband and in old age the sons, thus a female is always protected though not independent! Even minute expressions might not offend a female and be safeguarded lest there might be unhappiness in either of the families of father and husband, and indeed a female plays a significant yet sensitive role of both the families and hence the need for her balancing act!] But unfortunately Maha Raja! tatra tvam caiva me nāsti rāmaś ca vanam āśritah, na vanam gantum icchāmi sarvathā hi hatā tvayā/ hatam tvayā rājyam idam sarāṣṭram; hatas tathātmā saha mantribhiś ca, hatā saputrāsmi hatāś ca paurāḥ; sutaś ca bhāryā ca tava prahṛṣṭau/ Among these supporting sources, you would not be counted since you are under the spell of Kaikeyi; now the second support line too is unavailable as you had already despatched him away to the forests and my other supports of 'bandhu-bandhavas' are too far off and thus am helpless and lonely; yet I can not go to forests, since stree dharma prescribes 'pati seva' and thus I am having to stay back without reaching my son, any way! My dear husband! Having sent off Rama to forests, you have not only ruined me, but also the high reputation of the Kingdom including the innocent ministers and the public too!' Thus having attacked the King with sword like sharp words out of desperation, disgust and distress, Devi Kousalya fell down to earth unconsciously!

Sarga Sixty Two

Regretful Dasharatha with folded hands and prostrations seeks pardon from Kousalya

Evam tu kruddhayā rājā rāmamātrā saśokayā, śrāvitaḥ paruṣam vākyam cintayām āsa duḥkhitaḥ/ tasya cintayamānasya pratyabhāt karma duṣkṛtam, yad anena kṛtam pūrvam ajñānāc chabdavedhinā/ amanās tena śokena rāmaśokena ca prabhuh, dahyamānas tu śokābhyām kausalyām āha bhūpatih/ prasādaye tvām kausalye racito 'yam mayāñjalih, vatsalā cānrśamsā ca tvam hi nityam paresv api/ bhartā tu khalu nārīṇām guṇavān nirguṇo 'pi vā, dharmam vimṛśamānānām pratyakṣam devi daivatam/ sā tvam dharmaparā nityam drstalokaparāvara, nārhase vipriyam vaktum duhkhitāpi suduhkhitam/tad vākyam karuṇam rājnah śrutvā dīnasya bhāṣitam, kausalyā vyasrjad bāṣpam pranālīva navodakam/ sa mūdrhṇi baddhvā rudatī rājñaḥ padmam ivāñjalim, sambhramād abravīt trastā tvaramāṇākṣaram vacaḥ/ prasīda śirasā vāce bhūmau nitatitāsmi te, vācitāsmi hatā deva hantavvāham na hi tvavā/ naisā hi sā strī bhavati ślāghanīyena dhīmatā, ubhayor lokayor vīra patyā yā samprasādyate/ jānāmi dharmam dharmajña tvām jāne satyavādinam, putraśokārtayā tat tu mayā kim api bhāṣitam/ śoko nāśayate dhairyaṁ śoko nāśayate śrutam, śoko nāśayate sarvam nāsti śokasamo ripuh/ śayam āpatitah sodhum praharo ripuhastatah, sodhum āpatitah śokah susūksmo 'pi na śakyate/ vanavāsāya rāmasya pañcarātro 'dya ganyate, yah śokahataharṣāyāḥ pañcavarṣopamo mama/ tam hi cintayamānāyāḥ śoko 'yam hṛdi vardhate, adīnām iva vegena samudrasalilam mahat/ evam hi kathayantyās tu kausalyāyāḥ śubham vacaḥ, mandaraśmir abhūt suryo rajanī cābhyavartata/ atha prahlādito vākyair devyā kausalyayā nṛpaḥ, śokena ca samākrānto nidrāyā vaśam eyivān/

As Devi Kousalya spoke most harshly and fell unconsciously, King Dasharatha was stunned and shocked. He took long sighs and drew heavy breathings. Kousalya was lying beside him and he was afraid of even touching her to bring her back to senses. He started recalling and recounting the blunders that he

committed. As Kousalya too regained senses, both of them kept on crying. He started shivering with shame and fear. Then with trembling tone he begged her with folded hands to become normal; he said that she had always excused the lapses of others and similarly she might pardon his blunders too with kindness as he being her husband. Bhartā tu khalu nārīnām gunavān nirguno 'pi vā, dharmam vimrśamānānām pratyakṣam devi daivatam/Whether a husband is a characterless, hatred worthy and despicable human being, he is still deemed as a 'pratyaksha devata'. A Sati Savitri defied Yama Dharma Raja into conviction and revived her husband's life from death! A Sumati who was an outstanding Pativrata adored a Leper husband and even prostrated before a woman whom her husband desired to sleep with!] 'Devi! You too are a 'dharma patni' and well versed with the ways of the world, and of human beings- to err is human and to forgive is divine!' As her husband had literally begged her pardon, Devi Kousalya had apparently reconciled with tears rained down without stop and stated: 'Deva! I am now lying down on earth and fallen at your feet; I beg you to please calm down; if you also ask for my pardin, then I am as good as dead. Naiṣā hi sā strī bhavati ślāghanīyena dhīmatā, ubhayor lokayor vīra patyā yā samprasādyate/ jānāmi dharmam dharmajña tvām jāne satyavādinam, putraśokārtayā tat tu mayā kim api bhāsitam/ A husband is always a 'pratyaksha devata' indeed both in this world and elsewhere. He as a 'buddhimaan' of virtue tends to guide and convince his wife; lest the wife be found fault with. Maha Raja! I am awareof 'stree dharmas', especially in the context of being truthful. What all I have burst out was actually in the context of my 'putra shoka' or the extreme concern of my unique son; indeed I regret having expressed likewise. Shoko nāśayate dhairyam śoko nāśayate śrutam, śoko nāśayate sarvam nāsti śokasamo ripuh/ One's mental agony tends to kill its stability; that distress leads to black out 'shastra jnaana' or awareness of traditional values; indeed that grief of the worst enemy of the self! Bhagavad Gita is quoted: Dhaayato Vishayaan Pumsah sangasteshoopajaayate, sangaatsanjaayate kaamah kaamaat krodhobhi jaayate, sangaatsanjaayate kaamah kaamaat krodhobhijaayate/ krodhaadbhavati sammohah sammohat smriti vibhramah, smriti bhramshaah buddhi naashah buddhi naashaat pranashyati/ Every human being is subject to desires; if the desires are not fulfilled, there would be disappointment and eventual frustration; this further shapes up as anger which results in lack of the mental poise and imbalance.] śayam āpatitah sodhum praharo ripuhastatah, sodhum āpatitah śokah susūkṣmo 'pi na śakyate/ The sufferings of physical attacks by enemies are perhaps bearable, but what one's own destiny would have to be endured merely! As Shri Rama has left for 'vana vaasa' since five days by now, I have only able to keep counting; alas these five nights seem to be five long years! The intense thoughts of Rama's absence keep stepped up day by day as the force of the river flows is intensified before merging into the Great Oceans!'

As Devi Kousalya had cooled down somewhat against the background of attacking King Dashratha mercilessly. Indeed both Dasharatha and Kousalya were grievously agitated retrospectively and having been terribly tired slept off cryingly.

Sarga Sixty Three

Dasaratha's confession to Kousalya about his youthful blunder of killing a Muni Kumara

Pratibuddho muhur tena śokopahatacetanaḥ, atha rājā daśarathaḥ sa cintām abhyapadyata/
rāmalakṣmaṇayoś caiva vivāsād vāsavopamam, āviveśopasargas tam tamaḥ sūryam ivāsuram/ sa rājā
rajanīm ṣaṣṭhīm rāme pravrajite vanam, ardharātre daśarathaḥ samsmaran duṣkṛtam kṛtam, kausalyām
putraśokārtām idam vacanam abravīt/ yad ācarati kalyāṇi śubham vā yadi vāśubham, tad eva labhate
bhadre kartā karmajam ātmanaḥ/ guru lāghavam arthānām ārambhe karmaṇām phalam, doṣam vā yo na

jānāti sa bāla iti hocyate/ kaś cid āmravanam chittvā palāśāms ca nisiñcati, puspam drstvā phale gṛdhnuḥ sa śocati phalāgame/ so 'ham āmravaṇam chittvā palāśām's ca nyaṣecayam, rāmam phalāgame tyaktvā paścāc chocāmi durmatiļ/ labdhaśabdena kausalye kumāreņa dhanuşmatā, kumāraļ śabdavedhīti mayā pāpam idam kṛtam/ tad idam me 'nusamprāptam devi duḥkham svayam kṛtam, sammohād iha bālena vathā svād bhaksitam visam, evam mamāpy avijñātam sabdavedhyamavam phalam/ devy anūḍhā tvam abhavo yuvarājo bhavāmy aham, tataḥ prāvṛḍ anuprāptā madakāma vivardhinī/ upāsyahi rasān bhaumāms taptvā ca jagad amsubhih, paretācaritām bhīmām ravir āvisate diśam/ uṣṇam antardadhe sadyaḥ snigdhā dadṛśire ghanāḥ,tato jahṛṣire sarve bhekasāraṅgabarhiṇaḥ/ patitenāmbhasā channah patamānena cāsakrt, ābabhau mattasārangas toyarāśir ivācalah/ tasminn atisukhe kāle dhanuşmān işumān rathī, vyāyāma krtasamkalpah sarayūm anvagām nadīm/ nipāne mahisam rātrau gajam vābhyāgatam nadīm, anyam vā śvāpadam kam cij jighāmsur ajitendriyah/ athāndhakāre tv aśrausam jale kumbhasya paryatah, acaksur visaye ghosam vāranasyeva nardatah/ tato 'ham śaram uddhṛtya dīptam āśīviṣopamam, amuñcam niśitam bāṇam aham āśīviṣopamam/ tatra vāg uşasi vyaktā prādurāsīd vanaukasaḥ, hā heti patatas toye vāg abhūt tatra mānuṣī, katham asmadvidhe śastram nipatet tu tapasvini/ praviviktām nadīm rātrāv udāhāro 'ham āgatah, isunābhihatah kena kasva vā kim kṛtam mayā/ ṛṣer hi nyasta daṇḍasya vane vanyena jīvataḥ, katham nu śastreṇa vadho madvidhasya vidhīyate/ jaṭābhāradharasyaiva valkalājinavāsasaḥ, ko vadhena mamārthī syāt kim vāsyāpakṛtam mayā/ evam nisphalam ārabdham kevalānarthasamhitam, na kaś cit sādhu manyeta yathaiva gurutalpagam/ nemam tathānuśocāmi jīvitaksayam ātmanah, mātaram pitaram cobhāv anuśocāmi madvidhe/ tad etān mithunam vrddham cirakālabhrtam mayā, mayi pañcatvam āpanne kām vṛttim vartayiṣyati/ vṛddhau ca mātāpitarāv aham caikeṣuṇā hataḥ, kena sma nihatāḥ sarve ubālenākṛtātmanā/ tam giram karuṇām śrutvā mama dharmānukānkṣiṇaḥ, karābhyām saśaram cāpam vyathitasyāpatad bhuvi/ tam deśam aham āgamya dīnasattvah sudurmanāh, apaśyam isunā tīre sarayvās tāpasam hatam/ sa mām udvīksya netrābhyām trastam asvasthacetasam, ity uvāca vacah krūram didhaksann iva tejasā/kim tavāpakṛtam rājan vane nivasatā mayā, jihīrsur ambho gurvartham yad aham tāditas tvayā/ ekena khalu bānena marmany abhihate mayi, dvāv andhau nihatau vrddhau mātā janayitā ca me/ tau nūnam durbalāv andhau matpratīkṣau pipāsitau, ciram āśākṛtām tṛṣṇām kaṣṭām samdhārayi syatah/ na nūnam tapaso vāsti phalayogah śrutasya vā, pitā yan mām na jānāti śayānam patitam bhuvi/ jānann api ca kim kuryād aśaktir aparikramaḥ, bhidyamānam ivāśaktas trātum anyo nago nagam/ pitus tvam eva me gatvā śīghram ācakṣva rāghava, na tvām anudahet kruddho vanam vahnir ivaidhitaḥ/ iyam ekapadī rājan yato me pitur āśramah, tam prasādaya gatvā tvam na tvām sa kupitah śapet/ viśalyam kuru mām rājan marma me niśitah śarah, runaddhi mrdu sotsedham tīram amburayo yathā/ na dvijātir aham rājan mā bhūt te manaso vyathā, śūdrāyām asmi vaisyena jāto janapadādhipa/itīva vadatah krcchrād bānābhihatamarmanah, tasya tv ānamyamānasya tam bānam aham uddharam/jalārdragātram tu vilapya kṛcchān; marmavraṇam samtatam ucchasantam, tatah sarayvām tam aham śayānam; samīkṣya bhadre subhrśam visannah/

Raja Dasharatha who slept off after intense mutual grief along with Devi Koushalya, suddenly woke up midnight with subdued thoughts of Rama who was just like Surya Deva got darkened by Rahu. Then he initiated his thoughts of his erstwhile sins committed be him in the past. As Koushlaya too woke up, then he shared his memories and said: yad ācarati kalyāṇi śubham vā yadi vāśubham, tad eva labhate bhadre kartā karmajam ātmanaḥ/guru lāghavam arthānām ārambhe karmaṇām phalam, doṣam vā yo na jānāti sa bāla iti hocyate/ 'Kalyani! Human beings are subjected to good and bad deeds in their respective lives. The results of the 'Sukha Dhukhaas' are naturally recorded in what is named as 'prarabdha'. As a deed is intiated and its end results of pluses a minuses are not pondered about is a 'murkha' or an ignorant person. In case a person having noticed in a garden the charming red flowers of Palaasha tree, imagining that its fruits must also be very tasty and thus plants in his garden, then he would be sadly disappointed since the fruits are full of gum the adhesive. Avigjnyaaya phalam yo hi karma tyevaanudhaavati, sa shochet phalavelaayaam yathaa kimshukasechakah/ so 'ham āmravaṇam chittvā palāśāmś ca nyaṣecayam, rāmam phalāgame tyaktvā paścāc chocāmi durmatih/ Those who do not realise the repercussions of a deed get anxious to perform at once and reap the consequences like cut a mango tree

and anticipate 'palaasha' flowers! Once upon a time in my youthfuldays as I was reputed as an excellent 'arrows man', I had committed a sinful blunder! Now, I am reaping the resultant act of viciousness. tad idam me 'nusamprāptam devi duḥkham svayam kṛtam, sammohād iha bālena yathā syād bhakṣitam vişam, evam mamāpy avijnātam śabdavedhyamayam phalam/Devi! My heinous deed of killing a 'muni kumara' by poisoned arrows due to sheer arrogant nonchalance is now rebounding me. I fact I had the self pride of learning 'shabdavedhi baana vidya' or the knowledge of releasing arrows on the basis of knowing distant sounds and that immaturity has now recoiled in Rama's aloofness from me.' King Dasharatha further continued his confessional recall of yet another tragic episode of his past life: 'Devi! When I was not wedded to you and was a Yuva Raja, I picked up my articles of archery and commenced riding my chariot for hunting animals even like lions or tigers. On entering a forest on the banks of River Sarayu, I was moving around a lot in search of animals till almost the dusk time. I felt thirsty and had a further ride till the river bed by which time it was dark; as I came up almost up to the river, there was the sound of a pot being filled in by the river water. But later realised that it perhaps was of an elephant drinking water by lifting its trunk up and down to reach its mouth. I desired to test my penchant for 'shabda vedhi vidya' again. I aimed at the precise place where the sound waves originated from and released a poisonous arrow. Almost simultaneously, there were the sounds of dropping big pots full of water and 'haahaakaras' of a humam being: Işunābhihataḥ kena kasya vā kim krtam mayā/rṣer hi nyasta dandasya vane vanyena jīvatah, katham nu śastrena vadho madvidhasya vidhīyate/ jatābhāradharasyaiva valkalājinavāsasah, ko vadhena mamārthī syāt kim vāsyāpakṛtam mayā/ evam nisphalam ārabdham kevalānarthasamhitam, na kaś cit sādhu manyeta yathaiva gurutalpagam/ Who has hit me with an arrow, what wrong have I committed! I have already discarded my evil profession of harrassing various beings and have since assumed the life of a sage by merely eking my livelihood with 'kanda moola phalaas' or roots and wild tree fruits by wearing 'mriga charmas' as a 'tapasvi'. Of which avail of killing me like this! You have no use or purpose served by killing me like this; may your murder of an innocent person like me recoil on you! May this murderer be advised that he should reap 'pancha pahapatakas'

[Stree hatya, Bhruna / Shishu hathya, Brahmana hatya, Go hatya and Guru hatya / Guru Bharya Gamana].

I am not regretful of being killed but my aged parents become solaceless and sourceless. Indeed more than me, you have literally killed my aged parents!' King Dasharatha continued the description of his state of mind to Devi Kousalya further: 'I was bewildered for a while as the dying person's sinking tone halted. I felt moved with ready sympathy and ran to the spot from where voice ringing in my ears. The tapasvi was irrevocably hurt and lying with the broken pot in his hands as he was pierced through the poisonous arrows. He saw me approaching him and fixed his eyes on me as though they would convert me into ash and shouted: Raja! you have not only killed me but my aged parents too. They are weak, old and blind too. They are waiting for me for long as they are badly thirsty. They are obviously unaware that I am dying myself. Can a dying tree due to heavy storm possibly help another tree! Go atonce to my hut at this side of the hill nearby and convey them of my dying condition and hopefully they might not curse you to turn into ashes. Now, as I have excruciating pain and please remove the poisonous arrow from my back. Please do not hesitate to do so as poison is sinking into my veins. You may be alarmed that you have perpertrated 'Brahma hatya'. As I am nearing death, may I declare that I am not a Brahmana by birth; I was born to a vaishya husband and a low caste woman. On hearing his confession and as the poison had entered into his vitals, then I removed the poisonous arrow in one stroke and closed his eyes.

Sarga Sixty Four

Having revealed details of the Muni hatya, the helpless cryings of his blind parents, Vriddha Muni's curse that Dasaratha's death would occur in son's absence, Dasharatha collapsed to death!

Tad ajñānān mahat pāpam krtvā samkulitendriyah, ekas tv acintayam buddhyā katham nu sukrtam bhavet/ tatas tam ghatam ādaya pūrnam paramavārinā, āśramam tam aham prāpya yathākhyātapatham gataḥ/ tatrāham durbalāv andhau vṛddhāv apariṇāyakau, apaśyam tasya pitarau lūnapakṣāv iva dvijau/ tannimittābhir āsīnau kathābhir aparikramau, tām āśām matkṛte hīnāv udāsīnāv anāthavat/ padaśabdam tu me śrutyā munir yākyam abhāsata, kim cirāyasi me putra pānīyam ksipram ānaya/ yannimittam idam tāta salile krīditam tvayā, utkaṇṭhitā te māteyam praviśa kṣipram āśramam/ yad vyalīkam kṛtam putra mātrā te yadi vā mayā, na tan manasi kartavyam tvayā tāta tapasvinā/ tvam gatis tv agatīnām ca cakṣus tvam hīnacaksusām, samāsaktās tvavi prānāh kim cin nau nābhibhāsase/ munim avvaktavā vācā tam aham sajjamānayā, hīnavyañjanayā preksya bhīto bhīta ivābruvam/ manasah karma cestābhir abhisamstabhya vāgbalam, ācacakse tv aham tasmai putravyasanajam bhayam/ ksatriyo 'ham daśaratho nāham putro mahātmanah, sajjanāvamatam duhkham idam prāptam svakarmajam/bhagavams cāpahasto 'ham sarayūtīram āgatah, jighāmsuh śvāpadam kim cin nipāne vāgatam gajam/ tatra śruto mayā śabdo jale kumbhasya pūryataḥ, dvipo 'yam iti matvā hi bāṇenābhihato mayā/ gatvā nadyās tatas tīram apaśyam işuṇā hṛdi, vinirbhinnam gataprāṇam śayānam bhuvi tāpasam/ bhagavañ śabdam ālakṣya mayā gajajighāmsunā, visrsto 'mbhasi nārācas tena te nihatah sutah sa coddhrtena bānena tatraiya svargam āsthitah, bhagavantāv ubhau śocann andhāv iti vilapya ca/ ajñānād bhavatah putrah sahasābhihato mayā, śeṣam evamgate yat syāt tat prasīdatu me muniḥ/ sa tac chrutvā vacaḥ krūram nihśvasañ śokakarśitah, mām uvāca mahātejāh kṛtāñjalim upasthitam/ yady etad aśubhaṁ karma na sma me kathayeh svayam, phalen mūrdhā sma te rājan sadyah śatasahasradhā/ ksatriyena vadho rājan vānaprasthe viśeṣataḥ, jñānapūrvam kṛtah sthānāc cyāvayed api vajriṇam/ ajñānād dhi kṛtam yasmād idam tenaiva jīvasi, api hy adya kulam nasyād rāghavāṇām kuto bhavān/ naya nau nṛpa tam deśam iti mām cābhyabhāṣata, adya tam draṣṭum icchāvaḥ putram paścimadarśanam/ rudhireṇāvasitāngam prakīrņājinavāsasam, śayānam bhuvi niḥsamjñam dharmarājavaśam gatam/ athāham ekas tam deśam nītvā tau bhrśaduhkhitau, asparśayam aham putram tam munim saha bhāryayā/ tau putram ātmanah spṛstvā tam āsādya tapasvinau, nipetatuh śarīre 'sya pitā cāsyedam abravīt/ na nv aham te priyah putra mātaram paśya dhārmika, kim nu nālingase putra sukumāra vaco vada/ kasya vāpararātre 'ham śrosyāmi hṛdayamgamam, adhīyānasya madhuram śāstram vānyad viśeṣataḥ/ ko mām samdhyām upāsyaiva snātvā hutahutāśanaḥ, ślāghayiṣyaty upāsīnaḥ putraśokabhayārditam/ kandamūlaphalam hṛtvā ko mām priyam ivātithim, bhojavisvatv akarmanvam apragraham anāvakam/ imām andhām ca vrddhām ca mātaram te tapasvinīm, katham putra bharişyāmi kṛpaṇām putragardhinīm/ tiṣṭha mā mā gamaḥ putra yamasya sadanam prati, śvo mayā saha gantāsi jananyā ca samedhitah/ ubhāv api ca śokārtāv anāthau krpanau vane, ksipram eva gamisyāvas tvayā hīnau yamaksayam/ tato vaivasvatam drstvā tam pravaksyāmi bhāratīm, ksamatām dharmarājo me bibhryāt pitarāv ayam/ apāpo 'si yathā putra nihatah pāpakarmanā, tena satyena gacchāśu ye lokāh śastrayodhinām/ yānti śūrā gatim yām ca samgrāmesv anivartinah, hatās tv abhimukhāḥ putra gatim tām paramām vraja/ yām gatim sagarah śaibyo dilīpo janamejayaḥ, nahuṣo dhundhumāraś ca prāptās tām gaccha putraka/ yā gatih sarvasādhūnām svādhyāyāt patasaś ca yā, bhūmidasyāhitāgneś ca ekapatnīvratasya ca/gosahasrapradātrīnām yā yā gurubhrtām api, dehanyāsa krtām vā ca tām gatim gaccha putraka, na hi tv asmin kule jāto gacchatv akuśalām gatim/ evam sa krpanam tatra parvadevayatāsakrt, tato 'smai kartum udakam pravrttah saha bhārvayā sa tu divyena rūpeņa muniputrah svakarmabhih, āśvāsya ca muhūrtam tu pitarau vākyam abravīt/ sthānam asmi mahat prāpto bhavatoh paricāranāt, bhavantāv api ca ksipram mama mūlam upaisvatah/ evam uktvā tu divvena vimānena vapusmatā, āruroha divam ksipram muniputro jitendrivah/ sa kṛtvā tūdakam tūrnam tāpasah saha bhāryayā, mām uvāca mahātejāh krtāñjalim upasthitam/ advaiva jahi mām rājan marane nāsti me vyathā, yac charenaikaputram mām tvam akārṣīr aputrakam/ tvayā tu yad avijñānān nihato me sutah śuciḥ, tena tvām abhiśapsyāmi suduḥkham atidāruṇam/ putravyasanajam duḥkham yad etan mama sāmpratam, evam tvam putraśokena rājan kālam kariṣyasi/ tasmān mām āgatam bhadre tasyodārasya tadvacaḥ, yad aham putraśokena samtyakṣyāmy adya jīvitam/ yadi mām samspṛśed rāmaḥ sakṛd adyālabheta vā, na tan me sadrsam devi yan mayā rāghave kṛtam/ caksusā tvām na pasyāmi smṛtir mama vilupyate, dūtā vaivasvatasyaite kausalye tvarayanti mām/ atas tu kim duhkhataram yad aham jīvitakṣaye, na hi paśyāmi dharmajñam rāmam satyaparākyamam/ na te manuṣyā devās te ye cāruśubhakundalam, mukham draksvanti rāmasva varse pañcadaśe punah/ padmapatreksanam subhru

sudamṣṭram cārunāsikam, dhanyā drakṣyanti rāmasya tārādhipanibham mukham/ sadṛśam śāradasyendoḥ phullasya kamalasya ca, sugandhi mama nāthasya dhanyā drakṣyanti tanmukham/ nivṛttavanavāsam tam ayodhyām punar āgatam, drakṣyanti sukhino rāmam śukram mārgagatam yathā/ ayam ātmabhavaḥ śoko mām anātham acetanam, samsādayati vegena yathā kūlam nadīrayaḥ/ hā rāghava mahābāho hā mamāyāsa nāśana, rājā daśarathaḥ śocañ jīvitāntam upāgamat/ tathā tu dīnam kathayan narādhipaḥ; priyasya putrasya vivāsanāturaḥ, gate 'rdharātre bhṛśaduḥkhapīḍitas; tadā jahau prāṇam udāradarśanaḥ/

King Dasharatha thus described the most unintentional death of the Munikumara and followed the way by which the latter's parents wer to live in the banks of the river Sarayu. He found the parents in a pathetic condition of old, weak, blind, and helpless state. As he reached there he started shivering with fear and tried to say in a low and trembling tone; he said: 'Mahatmas! I am not your son here but am a kshatriya named Dasharatha and most unfortunately committed a blunder. I had come down to the banks of Sarayu with the intention of killing wild and cruel animals like tigers and lions and felt that such animals would normally arrive at the banks of the river. At the time of dusk, I could not see properly and felt that a wild elephant arrived at the river banks and was drinking water by the help of its trunk into its mouth. Then I lifted by dhanush and released a poisonous arrow. But most unfortunately, it was not an elephant but a tapasvi who was targetted and fell down with loud cries of pain almost dying. On reaching the spot, he was writhing in excruciating pain and informed that his blind, old, weak, and helpless parents were nearby and were badly thirsty. As I prostrated at his feet and confessed that the accident had taken place out of the terribly mistaken notion of a wild elephant most unknowingly, he revealed details about you, cried out loudly for the parents but asked to take away the poisonous arrow at once due to terrible pain.ajñānād bhavatah putraḥ sahasābhihato mayā, śeṣam evamgate yat syāt tat prasīdatu me muniḥ/In this manner, most unrealisingly and most unfortunately your dear son has reached heaven; as I have confessed truthfully, I beg of your pardon and very kindly resist your anger and anguish not to give me a 'shaap''. Dasharatha continued the narration of the accident and stated that in view of my truthful confession, the aged parents did not give me an instant curse to turn me into ashes! They were dazed with blankness, cried out silently, took long and heavy breathings, and fainted. On recovery gradually, the old parent said:yady etad aśubham karma na sma me kathayeh svayam, phalen mūrdhā sma te rājan sadyah śatasahasradhā/ kṣatriyeṇa vadho rājan vānaprasthe viśeṣataḥ, jñānapūrvaṁ kṛtaḥ sthānāc cyāvayed api vajrinam/ ajñānād dhi krtam yasmād idam tenaiva jīvasi, api hy adya kulam nasyād rāghavānām kuto bhavān/Raja! If you have not immediately informed us and confessed about your irrtrievable sin, then you head would have broken into hundreds and thousands of smithereens. If a kshatriya would have wantonly committed and escaped the most heinous sin of this nature, even Vajradhari Indra ought to have been dethroned and thrown out. If a Brahmavaadi Muni engaged in deep tapasya were to have been killed with 'shastra astras' knowingly and consciously, then his head would have broken into seven parts. But since this tragedy occurred most accidentally and as you have truthfully confessed at once, you are alive and the entire Raghu Vamsha would have been wiped out! Now, Nareshwara, you take both of us to the spot where the dear son is lying dead.' As both the parents were conducted to the spot, they said softy: ' Dear son! Why are you not greeting us nor speaking to us; why are you lying here; are you annoyed with me! Dear son! If you are annoyed with me, why don't you atleast speak to your mother! Why do you not embrace her; son! Say some thing. Only last evening, you were performing 'swaadhyaaya' of scriptures in your musical voice and the explained their analysis. Now, after your bath, sandhyavandana, agnihotra, how would you appease us with our 'putra shoka' now. Who should now bring kanda-moola-phalas and provide us 'athithi satkaaraas'! Dear son! Your 'tapasvini' mother is blind, aged, helpless and is crying with 'putra shoka'; how could I being in similar features and situations look after her! Son! Do not enter Yama Loka now; please let us also accompany you. On personally meeting Yama Dharm Raja, I shall make an appeal to padon our son, as he could not maintain his parents! Dear son, you are totally sinless but a sinful kshatriya hah killed you, and on account of my truthfulness do reach quickly those lokaas where astra yodhi shura veeraas; but son, never ever show your back but face the enemies with courage and confidence and reach 'veera swarga'. Son! When you reach there you shall encounter veera purushas

like Sagara, Shaibya, Dileep, Janamejaya, Nahusha and Dundhumaara. Those who take to Swaadhyaaya and Tapasya are presumably accomplish 'Para Brahma Prapti'. Bhumi daata, Agnihotri, Ekapatnivrati, and giver of charity of thousand cows, and Guru sevakas are stated to attain 'maha prasthaana'; be blessed to reach there most certainly.' In this manner the aged father performed 'jalaanjali' or tarpanas to the departed son. Having thus performed the obsequies to the departed Soul, the old man addressed King Dasharatha and stated that he would like to give him a shaap: putravyasanajam duḥkham yad etan mama sāmpratam, evam tvam putraśokena rājan kālam kariṣyasi/Raja! Your death would occur when you would suffer the distress of 'putra viyoga' which I am presently suffering. However, I may not curse you with 'brahma hatya pataka'as you are a kshatriya and you have killed a Vaishya Muni'. Thus concluding the curse to me, Koushalya! the old couple both offered their bodies to dense flames even as I was staring stunned. Devi! This was how that out of youthful carelessness that I killed a Great Muni Kumara and in return secured the curse.'

Having concluded the sad killing of Muni Kumara and the details there after about the curse received by the parents of the victim besides the climaxing their self immolations to 'agni jwaalas', King Dasharatha addressed Devi Kousalya: Tadetacchintayaanena smritam paapam mayaa swayam, tadaa baalyaat kritam devi shabdavedhyanukarshinaa/ Tasyaayam karmano devi vipaakah samupasthitah, apayyaih saha saambhukte vyaadhirannarase yathaa, tasmaanmayaagatam Bhadre tasyodaarasya tad vachah/ Devi! In this manner due to the youthful ebullience, I had utilised the 'shabda vedhi astra' as the poisonous arrow pushed the Muni to death, and now I am vividly recalling the details of that involuntary tragedy and the consequences; that accident resulted me into this curse of 'putra vivoga' at the time of my death. As the entire taste of excellent food spoils a speck of poison is bound to react, is it not! Now this is the time when the Mahatma's curse is nearing me! Kousalye! Now I am facing mrityu devata! I can clearly vision her approaching me and I can not sess any thing else! Touch me to decide whether I am conscious. Those getting ready for yama loka yatra would not recognise even close relatives. Only Shri Rama's personal touch could perhaps revive me. Na tanme sadrusham Devi yanmayaa Raghave kritam, sadrusham tatthu tasyaiva yadanena kritam mayi/ Dedvi! The manner in which I had behaved and treated Shri Rama was such that I am totally unworthy of me. Who is that monster on earth who could reject a son of high virtue and fame! He had made his quitting quietly despite his awareness of his elevation on that very morning! Kousalye! Now my vision is blurred, memory power is sinking, and lo, behold! Yama dootaas have stood up to take me and I am only seeing Rama on my memory screen! He is not a human being but Devata himself! Padma patrekshanam subhru sudamshtram chaarunaasikam, dhanyaa drakshyanti Ramasya taraadhipasamam mukham/ Blessed be that human who could vision that countenance with lotus eyes, prettiest eye brows, sparkling teeth and alluring nose and Purna Chandra samana face! Kousalye! My consciousness is hazy, heart beat is sinking and the sensations of vision, hearing, smell, taste, and breathing are getting terminated. Ha Raghava Maha Baaho haa mama asanaashana, ha pitru priya me naatha haa mamaasi gatah suta/Ha Mahabaahu Raghu nandana! Ha my overcomer of difficulties, ha Pitru priya, ha my Nadha, ha my dearest son! Having shouted thus Dasharatha finally stated: Saadhyi Kousalya, Tapaswini Sumitra, Cruel Shatru Kaikeyi, and Mahtma Rama! And collapsed finally!

[Vishlesanas: i) on the process of death-ii) departed jeevatma-iii: Yama-iv: Mrityu Sukta

[Prashnopanishad vide III.6-7 explains the **process of death**: *Hridi hyesha Atmaa, atraitad ekashatam naadeenaam taasaam shatam shatam ekaikaashyam dvaa saptatir dvaasaptatih pratishakhaa naadee sahasraani bhavanti, aasu vyaanascharati// Athaika -yordhva udaanah, punyena punyalokam nayati, paapena paapam, ubdhaabhyaam eva manushya lokam//(The heart in the subtle Self is connected to some hundred and one nerves of importance each one of these is described as with hundred divisions and each of such divisions is stated to be of 72000 sub- branches or arteries, among which permeates 'Vyana' of the Pancha Pranaas, activising the various directions of the heart spreading all over the joints, shoulders*

and vital parts. It is this Vyana of the Pancha Pranaas that demands of the body parts of deeds that require strength to perform. Chhandogya Upanishad vide VIII.vi.6 explains: Shatam chaikaa cha hridayasya naadyah taasaam murdhaanaam abhinih abhinishtraika tayordhyam ayann amritatyam eti vishyayam anya utkramane bhayanti/ In the context of the process of death, the status of the physical nerves and how Sun influences these is described: the veins of the body issuing out of the fleshy bulge called lotus shaped heart is charged with juices of varied colours akin to human desires. The heat of the Sun causes bile which when comes into contact with phlegm in the nerves assuming different colours as accentuated by wind contacts. As life departs, the Self goes upwards through the Sun rays and the praani reaches the Sun within the time that mind travels. The nerves connected to the heart are hundred and one. At the time of departure, one of the nerves-Brahma Nadi- of the blessed ones reaches the crown of the head . While the opening of that nerve enables Immortality, vyana through other exit points totalling nine indicates definite return to the cycle of rebirths. Now the reference to Udaana; this vital force moves everywhere in the body from top to toe. When it takes an upward trend it leads to Deva Lokas and as it takes a downward trend it leads to 'manushya loka if it is 'ubdhaabhyameva'; or as a result of paapa-punyaas or sins and virtues)III.8-9) Adityo ha vai baahya praana udayati, esha hyenam chaakshusham praanam anugrahnaanah prithivyaam ya Devataa saishaa purushasyaapaanam avashtabhyaantaraah yad aakaakaashas sa samaano vaayur vyaanah// Tejo ha vai udaanah tasmaad upashaanta tejaah punarbhavam indriyair manasi sampadyamaanaih//(Surya indeed is the external praana which ascends in favour of Praana that is present in the eye. The Deity of Earth favours attracting the 'apaana' in a human being. The Antariksha as signified by Vayu Deva is 'Samaana' and Vyana is Air in the common parlance. The interpretation is that while Surya-Bhumi-Antariksha are stated as of the divine context, Praana-Apaana-Samaana are stated as eyes, exiting wind of human beings and common Air respectively. As regards Udaana, Tejas and common light are the divine and human forms respectively. As explained above, Udaana is the cause of death too, besides all the deeds requiring force in the normal course of life.)III.10-12) Yatchistastenaisha praanam aayaati, praanaastejasaa yuktah sahaatmaanaa yathaa samkalpitam lokam nayati// Ya evam vidvaan praanamveda na haasya prajaa heeyate, amrito bhavati, tadesha shlokah: // Utpattim aayatim shtaanam vibhutvam chaiva panchadhaa,adhyaatmam chaiva praanasya vijnaayaamritam ashnute, vijnaayaamritam ashnute, iti//(Whatever frame of mind and thoughts occur to a human being at the time of the end of life, indeed those very thoughts and feelings along with the functioning of the organs similarly attuned do surface then. Then the prime Praana of the dying person along with Udaana, the Consciousness tapers off and 'praana yuktah tejasaa nayati lokam yathaasankalpitam' or the Life Force along with the light within leads to the lokas as felt and deserved! Any person of knowledge who understands of what praana as all about certainly knows that the Departed Soul or the Antaratma then merges in its own origin. In this context, there is a relevant verse: A person of knowledge of Praana would thus be sensitised with its origin, entry, place of residence and the process of exit by achieving its next destination as per one's own actions of a mix of virtues and vices; very few attain Immortality and the majority return back to Life again; this is the Truth of Life and that indeed again is the Truth of Life!)]

The departed 'jeevatma' discarding life behind is accompanied by Lord Yama: Yama: Pareyivaasam pravato maheeranu, bahubhyah panthaam anupaspashaanam, Vaivasvatam sangamanam janaanaam, Yamam Rajanam havishaa duvasya/ May King Yama the son of Surya Deva/ Vivasvaan, be worshipped as he is followed by His relatives and admirers of the departed; Yama has travelled far from the heights

beyond and taken to the perfect destination without disturbing any one else. The Stanza is from Rig Veda 10-14.1. ii-iv)

The departed jeeva: Idam tvaa vastram prathama nvaagan/ Apaitaduuha yadihaabibhah puraa, ishtaapurtamanusampashya dakshinaam yathaa te dattam bahudhaa vi bandhushu/ Imoau yunajmi te vahnee asuneeyaaya odhave, yaabhyaam Yamasya saadanam, sukrutaam chaapi gacchataat/ May the departed one arrive here with new ideas and forget the erstwhile impulses and memories, recalling however the erstwhile actions some of which might have satisfied the conscience such as the acts of dakshinas to brahmanas vis a vis the wealth given by the kinsmen. May the departed one be yoked by two oxen to carry the body dear so far as the life and these oxen reach the abode of Lord Yama or alternatively to other abodes in case that It had done 'satkarmas' earning virtue outweighing the deeds of vice.v-viii) Pushaa tvetah chyaavayantu pra vidvaan, anashthapashuh bhuvanasya gopaah, sa tvaitebhyah pari dadat pitrubhyo, agnirdevebhyah suvidanniyebhyah/ Pushemaa aashaa anu veda sarvaah, so asmam abhiyatamena neshat, svastidaa aaghrunih sarvaveero, aprayucchan pura etu prajaanan/ Aayuh vishvaayuh pari pasati tvaa pusha, tvaa paatu prapathe purastaat, yatraaste sukruto, yatra te yayuh, tatratvaa devah Savitaa dadhaatu/ Bhuvanasya pat idam havih, agnaye rayimate svaaha/ May Pushan the omniscient escort the depated Soul to another world as His rays never fail to proceed all the Beings and reach them to Pitru Loka and may Agni Deva reach the concerned Devas further on. Indeed Pushan is totally conversant with all the Lokas successively as He is aware the ways and means of leading the jeevaatma to safety free from perils. The post life of departed mortals is well realised by Pushan and hence lead them upto the halts en route. As the Souls which may have done well with the earnings of 'punya', the celestial Savitur would place them well in advance and accordingly lead these with care. Hence, Paramatma! may this offering of the body remains engulf by Agni Deva ultimately! The stanzas v-vii are repeats of Rigveda Mantras of 10.17.3-5-4 respectively.]

iv: Mrityu Sukta: Taittireeya Aranyaka 3.15.1-6 :Mrityu Sukta

Hariam harantamanuyanti Devaah, Vishvasyeshaanaam vrishabham mateenaam, Brahma swarupamanu medamaagaat, ayanam maa vividheervikramasva/ Ma cchido mrityo maa vadheeh maa me balam vivruho maa pramosheeh, prajaam maa me reerisha aayurugna, nrichakshasam tvaa havishaa vidhema/ Sadyas - chkamaanaaya pravepaanaaya mrityave paarasmaa aashaa ashrunvan, kaamenaajanayanpunah/ Kaamena me kaama aagaat, hridayaadhbhudayam mrityoh, yadameeshaamadah priyam tadaituup maamabhi/ Pare mrityo anuparehi panthaam, yaste sva itaro Devayaanaat, chakshushmate shrunvate te braveemi, maa nah prajaam reerusho mot veeraan/ Pra poorve manasaa vandamaanah naadhamano vrishabham charshaneenaam, yah prajaanaam eka karanamaanusheenaam mrityum yaje prathamaja - amritasya/ These verses are stated to be recited in the rites of cremation.

Samasta Devas are stated to accompany the Mrityu Devata- harim harantam; the latter is the Lord of all the worlds and thoughts of the departed. As Mrityu Devata approaches the yajamaana or the victim, the latter assumes an appropriate form. May the Devata be contented with the stanzas recited and destroy the obstacles faced in the journey post life. Mrityu! At the time of departure of the victim, do kindly spare him from severing his body parts causing pain and tolerant energy. Kindly also do not harm my progeny, much less the victim's life span as we are prepared to serve you with suitable offerings. Mrityu Deva! Your are source and form of terror and panic to all the Beings with 'Praana'; all the 'ashta dishas' receive the 'aartha naadaas' or the signals of frieghtening cries. May the children of the departed one be equipped

to face moment of departure and spared from the distress that pursues. May the heart of Mrityu be kind and beneficial to the victim and family members. Mrityu Deva! may all paths except Devayana be blocked as that is the only path that the victim desires and surely deserves! May Mrityu be endowed with kind thoughts and actions as the victim seeks mercy and forgiveness after the departure to realise the Truth of Life!

Sarga Sixty Five

Pursuant to Dasharatha's death, his queeens cried out, deathly praises and music followed

Atha rātryām vyatītāyām prātar evāpare 'hani, bandinaḥ paryupātiṣṭhams tat pārthivaniveśanam/ tataḥ śucisamācārāḥ paryupasthāna kovidaḥ, strīvarṣavarabhūyiṣṭhā upatasthur yathāpuram/ haricandanasampṛktam udakam kāñcanair ghaṭaiḥ, āninyuḥ snānaśikṣājñā yathākālam yathāvidhi/ maṅgalālam -bhanīyāni prāśanīyān upaskarān, upaninyus tathāpy anyāḥ kumārī bahulāḥ striyaḥ/ atha yāḥ kosalendrasya śayanam pratyanantarāḥ, tāḥ striyas tu samāgamya bhartāram pratyabodhayan/ tā vepathuparītāś ca rājñaḥ prāṇeṣu śaṅkitāḥ, pratisrotas tṛṇāgrāṇām sadṛśam saṁcakampire/ atha saṁvepamanānām strīṇām dṛṣṭvā ca pārthivam, yat tad āśaṅkitam pāpam tasya jajñe viniścayaḥ/ tataḥ pracukruśur dīnāḥ sasvaram tā varāṅganāḥ, kareṇava ivāraṇye sthānapracyutayūthapāḥ/ tāsām ākranda śabdena sahasodgatacetane, kausalyā ca sumitrāca tyaktanidre babhūvatuḥ/ kausalyā ca sumitrā ca dṛṣṭvā spṛṣṭvā ca pārthivam, hā nātheti parikruśya petatur dharaṇītale/ sā kosalendraduhitā veṣṭamānā mahītale, na babhrāja rajodhvastā tāreva gaganacyutā/ tat samuttrastasambhrāntam paryutsuka - janākulam, sarvatas tumulākrandam paritāpārtabāndhavam/ sadyo nipatitānandam dīnaviklava - darśanam, babhūva naradevasya sadma diṣṭāntam īyuṣaḥ/ atītam ājñāya tu pārthivarṣabham; yaśasvinam saṃparivārya patnayaḥ, bhṛśam rudantyaḥ karuṇam suduḥkhitāḥ; pragṛhya bāhū vyalapann anāthavat/

Following the death of King Dasharatha on the previous night, next morning the 'Vandeejana' or the professional prayer- cum-praisers of the departed assembled in the 'Raja Mahal'. Vyakarana- Mantra-Panditas of the Royal Establisment, as also professional singers assumed their turns in praise of the departed King. Svara yukta shloka reciters too assembled in large numbers out side the Raja Mahal blessing the departed Soul. Stuti ganas with modulated clappings and singing the glories of King Dasharatha! Meanwhile, several royal servants initiated the fetching various material in bulk like chandana-karpura-darpana-aabhushana-vastra- gangaajala- vessels of varying sizes. The 'antahpura strees' or the womanfolk of the interiors of the queens queued of to perform 'parikramas' or circumambulations of the body. Some of the select women had even touched the body and got bewildered that the body was still warm and sprang up in surprises. Devis Kousalya and Sumitra were in half sleep as they were awaken till the small hours of the day break. Some of the antahpura strees had even thought that as the queens Kousalya and Sumitra were sleeping as the King had departed! Suddenly they seemed to have recovered from slumber and screamed and shouted 'hey praana naadha'! *Tatah sarvaa Narendrasya Kaikeyee pramukhaah striyah, rudasyah shokasantaptaa nipeturgata chatanaah*/ Then as Queen Kaikeyi too having arrived, all the queens became benumbed and fell down unconscious crying away.

Sarga Sixty Six

Queens, Ministers and staff- and public vision the body as retained in oil vessels

Tam agnim iva samśāntam ambuhīnam ivārṇavam, hataprabham ivādityam svargatham prekṣya bhūmipam/ kausalyā bāṣpapūrṇākṣī vividham śokakarśitā, upagṛhya śiro rājñaḥ kaikeyīm pratyabhāṣata/ sakāmā bhava kaikeyi bhunkṣva rājyam akaṇṭakam, tyaktvā rājānam ekāgrā nṛśamse duṣṭacāriṇi/ vihāya mām gato rāmo bhartā ca svargato mama, vipathe sārthahīneva nāham jīvitum utsahe/ bhartāram tam parityajya kā strī daivatam ātmanaḥ, icchej jīvitum anyatra kaikeyyās tyaktadharmaṇaḥ/ na lubdho

budhyate doṣān kim pākam iva bhakṣayan, kubjānimittam kaikeyyā rāghavāṇān kulam hatam/ aniyoge niyuktena rājñā rāmam vivāsitam, sabhāryam janakaḥ śrutvā patitapsyaty aham yathā/ rāmaḥ kamalapatrākṣo jīvanāśam ito gataḥ, videharājasya sutā tahā sītā tapasvinī, duḥkhasyānucitā duḥkham vane paryudvijiṣyati/ nadatām bhīmaghoṣāṇām niśāsu mṛgapakṣiṇām, niśamya nūnam samstrastā rāghavam samśrayiṣyati/ vṛddhaś caivālpaputraś ca vaidehīm anicintayan, so 'pi śokasamāviṣṭo nanu tyakṣyati jīvitam/ tām tataḥ sampariṣvajya vilapantīm tapasvinīm, vyapaninyuḥ suduḥkhārtām kausalyām vyāvahārikāh/ tailadroṇyām athāmātyāḥ samveśya jagatīpatim, rājñaḥ sarvāṇy athādiṣṭāś cakruḥ karmāṇy anantaram/ na tu samkalanam rājño vinā putreṇa mantriṇaḥ, sarvajñāḥ kartum īṣus te tato rakṣanti bhūmipam/ tailadroṇyām tu sacivaiḥ śāyitam tam narādhipam, hā mṛto 'yam iti jñātvā striyas tāḥ paryadevayan/ bāhūn udyamya kṛpaṇā netraprasravaṇair mukhaiḥ, rudantyaḥ śokasamtaptāḥ kṛpaṇam paryadevayan/ niśānakṣatrahīneva strīva bhartṛvivarjitā, purī nārājatāyodhyā hīnā rājñā mahātmanā/ bāṣpaparyākulajanā hāhābhūtakulāṅganā, śūnyacatvaraveśmāntā na babhrāja yathāpuram/ gataprabhā dyaur iva bhāskaram vinā; vyapetanakṣatragaṇeva śarvarī, purī babhāse rahitā mahātmanā; na cāsrakaṇṭhākulamārgacatvarā/ narāś ca nāryaś ca sametya samghaśo; vigarhamāṇā bharatasya mātaram, tadā nagaryām naradevasamkṣaye; babhūvur ārtā na ca śarma lebhire/

Devi Kousalya with over wept and swollen face looking at the body of her husband was looking like a dried up ocean, shinelss Surya, and burnt off dry ash. Then as Devi Kaikeyi lifted up the dead head of the King on her lap, Koushlaya stated in a low voice: Kaikeyi, your wish is fulfilled now. Now that the hurdle of the King having been removed, now enjoy the 'Saamrajya' all by your self! Rama had gone away and the King has been eliminated; of what avail my life now! bhartāram tam parityajya kā strī daivatam ātmanaḥ, icchej jīvitum anyatra kaikeyyās tyaktadharmaṇaḥ/ na lubdho budhyate doṣān kim pākam iva bhaksayan, kubjānimittam kaikeyyā rāghayānān kulam hatam/Could there be any body in the womanhood in the universe who kills her venaration worthy of husand and live with luxury and joy! Victimised and getting poisoned by Mandhara, you are squarely responible for the death of the husband and getting rid of Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas in one masterly stroke to ruin the Raghu Vamsha just for vicarious joy! That Kaikeyi is squarely responsible for pushing Rama forcefully out is once known to King Janaka, how much of appreciative he would be! What a shame that my son would not even know that I was cursed with widowhood! Is Devi Sita the born princess of Mithila worthy of this type of unimaginable hardship. Even whenever there harsh sounds of pashu pakshis heard, she used to hide on my lap! If only the aged Janaka Maha Raja who had only the daughters as his offspring were to know that Devi Sita too accompanied Rama for the ever long forced 'vana vaasa', he would surely not be alive. Saahamadyaiva dishtaantam gamishyaami pativrataa, idam shareeramaamaalingya pravekshyaamo hutaashanam/I am also ready to follow the parivrataa's duty of 'sahagamana' by jumping into the fire along with the body of my husband!' As such relentless address made by Kousalya to Kaikeyi and simultaneously embracing the departed body, the Ministers gradually took away the queens and the surrounding ladies from the body to initiate the task of soaking the body in oil in large and flat plated vessels, as per the instructions of Maharshi Vasishtha. This has been done so to preseve the body till 'dahana samskaara'. As the body was lifted there were uproars and shouts by the queens and all the onlookers. niśānakṣatrahīneva strīva bhartṛvivarjitā, purī nārājatāyodhyā hīnā rājñā mahātmanā/ bāspaparyākulajanā hāhābhūtakulānganā, śūnyacatvaraveśmāntā na babhrāja yathāpuram/ In the absence of the departed King, Ayodhya puri was barren like a starless sky and like a king with his widows! Rutetu putraad dahanam Mahipate naarochayamste suhrudah samaagataah, iteeva tasnim- sc haayane nyaveshayan vichintya Raajaanamichyantya darshanam/ Veda Panditah who had assembled there had unanimously decided not to initiate the daaha-samskaara and as such the body was retained in oilful vessel. Meanwhile the entirety of the citizens of Ayodhya were queued up for the final view of the body of the King.

[Vishleshana on widowhood:

Departed person's widow: Iyam naareem patilokam vrinaanaa ni padyat upa tvaa, martya pretam,dharma puraanaanupaalayantee, tasyai prajaam dravinam cheha dhehi/ Udeerdhva naaryabhi jeevalokam gataasum etamupa shesha ehi, hastaagraabhasya deedhishoh, tavedam patyurjanityamabhi sam babhutha/ Suvarnaam hastaadadaanaa mritasya, shriyai brahmane tejase balaaya, atraiya tyam, ihavayam sushevaa, vishvaah sprudho abhimaateerjeyam/ Dhanurhastaat aadadaano mritasya, shriyai kshatraayoujase balaaya, atraiva tvam iha vayam sushevaa, vishvaay sprudho abhimaateerjayem/ Maniam hastadaadaanaa mritasya, shriyai visho pushthyai balaaya, atraiva tvam, ida vayam sushevaa, vishvaah sprudho abhimaaraarjeeyem/ The widow of the departed husband who chose her husband and lived along with him has to continue her duty as a widow now and assign the properties of the husband to the progeny. Atharva Veda 18.3.1. The widow is then advised to get back normalcy as she would be under a shock and realise the reality that her hasband was no more; indeed the person who took your hand on wedlock had left her now. After all, she would have to continue to remain in existence and recover her normalyy since she should fight back the evils of the world and fortify herself. One has to reconcile to the absence of the husband and realise that he was not there. Yet, she would have to take a vow that he was there and get readied for a lonely fight. The stanza 6.1.15 viz. Dhanurhastaat explains that since the upbringing of the progeny has to be the wife's prime need of the hour, the widow should take over the bow from the hands of the departed husband's hands and be prepared for a battle to procect the children and stay there itself and face the situations. Thus she takes the challenge of life ahead. Vyasa Maharshi explains of some features of widows: Patyaomritepi yo yoshivaidhavyam paalayet kvachit, Saapunah praapya bhartaaram svarga bhogaan sameeshnute/ Vidhavaa kabari baddhah bhartru bandhaaya chaayate, Shirasovasanam tasmaat kaaryam vidhavaatathaa, Ekaahaarah Sadaa kaaryah nadviteeyah kadaachana/ Gandhadra –vyasya sambhogonaiva kaaryastathaa kvachit, Tarpanam pratyaham kaaryam bhartuh kushatilodakaih/ Vishnostu pujanam kaaryam patibudhaana chaanyadhaa, Patimeva sadaa dhyaayedvishnu rupa dharam param, Evam dharma paraanityam vidhavaap shubhaamataa/(As a husband passes away and the widow observes the regulations of widowhood, since a widow is distinguished as being one, it is preferred that her head hair is removed forever, takes a single meal a day and refrain from a second meal that day! She should not use fragrances and not utilise flowers; every day she should perform tarpana with 'tilodakas' or black Tilas with water using 'darbhas'. Those women who are widowed should consider as the diseased husband as Vishnu himself and then her remaining life would be spent peacefully without problems and even though as of a woman of auspiciousness.]

Sarga Sixty Seven

Maharshis assemble with Purohita Vasishtha to urgently decide on the successor King

Vyatītāyām tu śarvaryām ādityasyodaye tataḥ, sametya rājakartāraḥ sabhām īyur dvijātayaḥ/mārkaṇḍeyo 'tha maudgalyo vāmadevaś ca kāśyapaḥ, kātyayano gautamaś ca jābāliś ca mahāyaśāḥ/ete dvijāḥ sahāmātyaiḥ pṛthag vācam udīrayan, vasiṣṭham evābhimukhāḥ śreṣṭho rājapurohitam/atītā śarvarī duḥkham yā no varṣaśatopamā, asmin pañcatvam āpanne putraśokena pārthive/svargataś ca mahārājo rāmaś cāraṇyam āśritaḥ, lakṣmaṇaś cāpi tejasvī rāmeṇaiva gataḥ saha/ubhau bharataśatrughnau kkekayeṣu paramtapau, pure rājagṛhe ramye mātāmahaniveśane/ ikṣvākūṇām ihādyaiva kaś cid rājā vidhīyatām, arājakam hi no rāṣṭram na vināśam avāpnuyāt/ nārājale janapade vidyunmālī mahāsvanaḥ, abhivarṣati parjanyo mahīm divyena vāriṇā/ nārājake janapade bījamuṣṭiḥ prakīryate, nārākake pituḥ putro bhāryā vā vartate vaśe/ arājake dhanam nāsti nāsti bhāryāpy arājake, idam atyāhitam cānyat kutaḥ satyam arājake/ nārājake janapade kārayanti sabhām narāḥ, udyānāni ca ramyāṇi hṛṣṭāḥ puṇyagṛhāṇi ca/ nārājake janapade yajñaśīlā dvijātayaḥ, satrāṇy anvāsate dāntā

brāhmaṇāḥ samśitavratāḥ/nārājake janapade prabhūtanaṭanartakāḥ, utsavāś ca samājāś ca vardhante rāṣṭravardhanāḥ/ nārajake janapade siddhārthā vyavahāriṇaḥ, kathābhir anurajyante kathāśīlāḥ kathāpriyaiḥ/ nārājake janapade vāhanaiḥ śīghragāmibhiḥ, narā niryānty araṇyāni nārībhiḥ saha kāminaḥ/ nārākaje janapade dhanavantaḥ surakṣitāḥ, śerate vivṛta dvārāḥ kṛṣigorakṣajīvinaḥ/ nārājake janapade vaṇijo dūragāminaḥ, gacchanti kṣemam adhvānam bahupuṇyasamācitāḥ/ nārājake janapade caraty ekacaro vaśī, bhāvayann ātmanātmānam yatrasāyamgrho muniḥ/ nārājake janapade yogakṣemam pravartate, na cāpy arājake senā śatrūn viṣahate yudhi/ yathā hy anudakā nadyo yathā vāpy atṛṇam vanam, agopālā yathā gāvas tathā rāṣṭram arājakam/ nārājake janapade svakam bhavati kasya cit, matsyā iva narā nityam bhakṣayanti parasparam/ yehi sambhinnamaryādā nāstikāś chinnasamśayāḥ, te 'pi bhāvāya kalpante rājadaṇḍanipīḍitāḥ/ aho tama ivedam syān na prajñāyeta kim cana, rājā cen na bhaveml loke vibhajan sādhvasādhunī/ jīvaty api mahārāje tavaiva vacanam vayam, nātikramāmahe sarve velām prāpyeva sāgaraḥ/ sa naḥ samīkṣya dvijavaryavṛttam; nṛpam vinā rājyam araṇyabhūtam, kumāram ikṣvākusutam vadānyam; tvam eva rājānam ihābhiṣiñcaya/

As all through the night the public Ayodhya thronged for the darshan of the departed King of far reaching reputatioin, the early morning therafter, the Kingdom's vidwan Brahmanas collected at the royal court. The Brahmana shreshthas like Markadeya, Moudralya, Vaama Deva, Kashyapa, Gautama and Jaabaali sat before Maharshi Vasishtha and gave their opinions. The substance of what they expressed as follows: 'The passing away of great King Dasharatha to heavens is indeed unfotunate. More unfortunate would be when Rama accompanied by Devi Sita and Lakshmana Kumara had left on a long Aranya Vaasa. Bharata Shatrughnas had been on a pleasure holiday to Devi Kaikeyi's father's kingdom. ikṣvākūṇām ihādyaiva kaś cid rājā vidhīyatām, arājakam hi no rāṣṭram na vināśam avāpnuyāt/ nārājale janapade vidyunmālī mahāsvanah, abhivarsati parjanyo mahīm divyena vārinā/ nārājake janapade bījamustih prakīryate, nārākake pituh putro bhāryā vā vartate vaśe/ arājake dhanam nāsti nāsti bhāryāpy arājake, idam atyāhitam cānyat kutah satyam arājake/ Now this is a serious situation when there is no King of this glorious Ikshvaaku Vamsha in position and in the absence of a King, the Kingdom would be at heavy stake and there is an immediate urgency to declare a King. In a Kingdom where there is no King, it is asserted that in the villages and townships- let alone in Ayodhya- neither lightnings on the sky nor clouds would yield timely rains and the mother earth could yield good crops. Without a King, neither the children nor the wives would be under the regulation of a husband and the entire family life would be at stake. Then where would be order of the society, the central-township-village level administration, the public gardens, dharma shalaas, temples, chatur varnas, yagjnaadi dharma karyas, group meetings, musicdances; and above all internal secutity and external safety! Yathaa drishtih shareerasya nityameva pravartate, tathaa narendro rashrtasya prabhavah satyadharmayoh/ Just as one's concentration is anchored on one's own body parts [like eyes, nose, ears, skin, tongue, and entries and exits] Raja like the mind or brain is the nucleus, and the supreme controller of all the aspects of the Kingdom, both internalk and external. Rajaa satyam cha dharmascha Rajaa kulavataam kulam, Raja maataa pitaa chaiva Rajaa hita karo nrinam/ A King is the representation of truthfulness and virtue; he is stated to be the foremost of all classes of the Kingdom. He is th father -mother- and the chief adviser of one and all in the kingdom. Yamo Vaishravanah Shakro Varunascha Maha Balah, vishishyante Narendrana vrittena mahataa tatah/ A King by the virtue of his own background and sensivities might be a Yama, Kubera, Indra, or Varuna and many more features and characterestics. Yama Raja punishes, Kubera bestows wealth, Indra is an outstanding administrator, and Varuna enforces good conduct; but a King is all rolled in one! Sa naḥ samīkṣya dvijavaryavṛttam; nṛpam vinā rājyam araṇyabhūtam, kumāram ikṣvākusutam vadānyam; tvam eva rājānam ihābhişiñcaya/ Hence Maharshi! Do nominate an Ideal King at once!

[Vishleshana on an Ideal Kingship vide Manu Smriti-Achaara Khanda

Ideal Kingship: Manu Deva then describes the ways of conduct and dharmas of a King about his origin and keys to his success as a popular and famed head of a nation. On attaining kingship to a deserving and select kshatriya origin, the King is coronated by the prescribed Vedic Principles to assume the duties

expected as from a Head of the Kindom. This is so when a Leader of the Society has to establish an authoratative Institution based essentially on Dharma and Nyaya and above all to ensure safety and security as an Integrated Identity among the comity of co-kingdoms. Hence the group of Devas like Indra, Surya, Vaayu, Yama, Agni, Varuna, Chandra and Kubera confer Kingship to the most suitable Kshatriva as per Vedic Verses hence as the unique representative of the lusters and magnificenes of the combinations of the repesentative Devas; indeed like a Sun God the King becomes too radiant to gaze and provides the great source of authority and power sourced from the respective Devas of warmth yet heat of Agni, sweep and speed of Vaayu, placidity and coolness of Chandra, sterness and demand of justice/ virtue of Yama, ample food and sustenance of Varuna, and the auspiciousness and prosperity of Kubera! Even a King as an infant is worthy of respect and awe as there is a worthy King in him and ought to be so venerated. Indeed, careless approach and casual treatment paid to an infant king, who is no doubt, backed up the strong foundations of Kingship as from Vedic Principles, as Agni could provide warmth as also burn the whole family and property as of 'lock-stock- and barrel'! A King with his 'kaarya siddhi' or the success of his purpose as per the prevalent circumstances of 'Desha Kaala Tatwa' seeks to attain 'dharma siddhi' as he asumes varied features of kshama, krodha, mitrata, or even pratikaara or revenge! A King indeed is 'sarva tejomaya' or all powerful as he could usher in Devi Lakshmi or alround prosperity, or his anger might invite mrityu or death. If a King is annoyed even by default, the victim's misfortune kicks off and his indignation is certain to mritu! Tasmaad dharmam yamishteshu sa vyavasyennaraadhipah, anishtam chaapyanishteshu tam dharmam na vichaalayet/ Tasyaarthe sarvabhutaanaam goptaaram dharmama -atmajam, brahmatejomayam dandam- asrijat purvameeshvarah/ or that is why the dharmas originally created by the institution of Kingship are such as never to be infringed upon and hence the age old principles are such as shaped by the conscience of any King either of mercy or of punishments. This why any of the 'sthaavara-jangamaas' or of moving-immoveable nature in Srishti are driven by the impulses of their own consciences too and the interpretations of respective Kingships as per 'desha kaala- paristhitis' or of contemporary situations need necessarily to be upheld and observed. Hence punishments truly represent the King, his Purushtva of assertion and of unquestionable Leadership; punishment only governs, protects, and sustains vigilance even in sleep or casualness as the constant guard and caution. Sameekshya sa dhritah samyak sarvaa ranjayati prajaah, asameekshya praneetastu vinaashayati sarvatah/ Once punishment is made applicable and enforced, it uproots the evil but once gets lax then attracts further evil. In the case of a King's negligence of punishment, the defaulted person once saved perpetuates the evil as a fried fish about to be pitch-forked spared or soft cotton piece turns into an iron rod! In case a King spares a criminal from punishment, a crow would steal a pitru pinda or a dog sniff or lick a sacrificial food just as a person of illfame forcefully occupies another's lawful house in possession since dandasya hi bhayaat sarvam jagad bhogaaya kalpate/ or the entire world loses the grip of fear and becomes all kinds of illegal perversions. Once a rod is spared then even a child is spoilt; Deva, Daanava, Gandharva, Raakshasa, Pakshi, Sarpas too once spared would be victimised with evil; being devoid of 'daanda', the conduct of all the beings in Srishti gets sullied and in respect of human beings varnaashrama dharmas are severely broken irretrievably paving way for vices and engendering evil forces Yatra shyaamo lohitaaksho dandashcharati paapahaa, prajaastatra na muhyanti netaa chet saadhu pashyati/ Tasyaahuh sampranetaaram raajaanam satyavaadinam, sameekshya kaarinam praajnam dharma kaamaartha kovidam/ That exactly why the concept of Kingship or Leadership is stated as the hinge and hold of the sensitive balance of virtue and vice; where punishment is due it ought to stalk around assuming black color and of red eyes demolish blemishes and sins. Moreso it is in the context of fulfilling the four human aspirations of Dharma-Artha-Kaama-Moksha in a measured manner; indeed hence is the presence of Leadership as assumed by a King. Kingship is defined as who is aware and conscious of the are of punishing and sparing the stick; tam raajaa pranayansamyak trivargena abhivardhate or He is the ideal King who is truthfully wedded to the principles of virue and nyaaya, modest and ideal earnings for the Self and dependents besides spare for charity, and controlled and regulated by moderate and just desires; but certainly not to fullfill sensual pleasures, deceitful ways of flippant lives and of selfish motivations. When punishment is prescribed it may not be palatable to unrelenting minds, but when the king concerned does not proclaim it in a non commensurate manner

without adequately examining or hiding facts of the case, then the King if partial in judgment is not spared too and might affect his family even. Once the King and his family s ruined, then the store of 'adharmaas' so collected might affect not only his possessions of castles, his territories and his 'praja' and their forunes also. Contrarily a champion of Dharma and Nyaya would carve a niche not merely among the co-kings but as in respect of Maharshis and even Devas might secure a qualification for Brahmatva! A continous series of undue punishments out of hiding facts or ignoring them and issued by an unjust King would have repurcussions on the disgrace and ruin of his deputies down the line in thed Vamsha and might adversely affect those concerned like Ministers, Army Commanders and so on as involved in the declarations of judgments. Further on, even the Sages would feel the guilt and the though processes of Devas receiving 'havyas' at the Agni Karyas in the Kingdom might be disturbed! Hence: Shuchinaa satyasandhena yathaa shaastaanusaarinaa, pranetum shakyate dandah susahaayena dheemataa/ Svaraashtre nyaaya vrittah syaad bhrishadashcha shatrushu, suhritsvajihmah snigdheshu braahmaneshu kshamaanvitah/ The ideal most King is such sagacious, truthful and inteligent kind of unique followers of Dharma and Nyaya, ably assisted by equally professional deputies, and indeed his judgments for or against punishments or rewards are stated to be one among the countless ones of his worthy race. The fame of such rarity are like drops of oil spreading fast in running flows of water. However the ill fame of a King unworthy of his title and seat tends to act like buter on the water flows steadily till the day of doom. The idealism of Kingship upholds the dignities of the Chatur Varnas and ensures their continuity... Such Kings of rarity are stated to possess their daily routine as follows: in the early mornings itself, they attend the congregations of the learned and the aged vidwans of Rig-Yajur-SaamaVedas and discuss the specifics of Dharmas and of Administrative Principles involved. They worship and honour such vidwans appropriately and abide by their teachings as discussed. Such exemplary Kings are never harmed but enjoy longevity and prosperity. They are modest and that modesty makes them imperishable. For want of modesty, several Kings in history had perished along with their belongings and on the other hand hermits in forests had turned to be Kings. Veno vinashtovinayaatnahushashchaiva paarthivah/Sudaah paija vanashchaiva sumukho nimireva cha/ Prithustu vinayaad raajyam praaptavaan manureva cha, Kuberashcha dhanaishvaryam brahmannyam chaiva Gaadhijah/ In the historical introspective, illustrious Chakravartis or Emperors like Vena, Nahusha, Sudaasa, Yavana, Sumukha, and Nimi perished out of their questionable and evil conduct. On the other hand Prithu and Manu flourished as Chakravatis out their outstanding modesty and impecable character and Kubera gained the position of Dhanaadyaksha and one of the Ashtapalakas of the Universe. Vishwamitra the illusrious son of Gaadhi a Kshatriya by birth attained the status of an elevated Brahmana by the dint of perseverance, tapsya and conduct .The King should perfectly understand the aspirations of the common persons of the day especially in avioding the pitfalls of co-Kings and most unhesitatingly try to initiate steps in constructing such a Capital City and never even seek to his own personal comfort but ensure his deputies and staff as well as the public of the Kingdom to live with comfort and safety. Towards this end, he needs to construct a fortress protected by vagaries of seasons and possible eventualities of diseases or natural disasters. Such a fortress of distinction and status be suitably equipped with defence forces to ensure safety from attacks of beasts. robbers, internal forces of revolution, external foes and such elements and forified with weapons, grains, cattle and fodder, ample water and tools, as also Vidwans, artisans, and representatives of chatur varnas, and above all Purohitaas or Priests and Ritvigs to duly perform various smarta karmas of auspicious nature besides the shrouta karmas of daily agni karyas and Sacrifices. Yajeta raajaa kratubhirvi vidhairaapta dakshinaih, dharmaartham chaiva viprebhyo dadyaad bhogaan dhanaani cha/ Saanvatsarikamaaptaishcha raashtraadaahaarayed balim, syaachchaamnaayaparo loke varteta pitrivatnrishu/ The King has to be such as always engaged in Ashwamedhaadi yajnas attracting learned Brahmans to receive gifts and charities of golden ornaments, precious clothes and so on besides providing employment to workers as also the participating crowds of public with feasts. Indeed the King is stated more than a father and protector of the interests of one and all. As the citizens of the Kingdom are responsive of the noble activities of the King and the band of his officials of commitment ensuring peace and safety, the taxes are paid on time and general business climate is salutary and hence the economy is sound and attracts investments from the public and from foreign kingdoms too. Besides plugging in

loopholes of business transactions, the King too motivate the officials down the line with incentives, moral persuasion and punishments against inefficiency or corruption. As BrahmanaVidyathis emerge out of Guru Kula after Vedaadhyayana are suitably gifted and trained for more and more tough assignments to preserve and promote dharmaacharana since *nidhir braahmanobhi dheeyate* or indeed Brahmanas are the treasures installed by the Kings that could neither be lost nor robbed; such treasures could also not be split, nor perish as they are ever-sustained by the purity and blaze of Agni itself. *Samamabraahmane daanam dvigunam braahmanabruve, praadheete shatasaahasramanantam veda -paarage/ Paatrasya hi visheshena shraddadhaanatayaiva cha, alpam vaa bahu vaa pretya daanasya phalamashnute/* While charity is offered to any of Varnas then there would be good returns of 'sukrita phala', but once that daana is given to a Brahmana the returns get doubled; once that daanas are executed to a well read and knowledgeble Brahmana, the fruits get further intensified hundred thousand fold, while the recipient is a Veda Vedanga paaranga, then he demands 'anantha phala'! Even if a 'daana'were given as per one's *own* ability, then undoubtedly a deserving status is accomplished in the higher worlds.]

Sarga Sixty Eight

Vashishtha despaches messengers to Kaikeya kingdom to bring Bharata along with Shatrughna

Tesām tadvacanam śrutvā vasisthah pratyuvāca ha, mitrāmātyaganān sarvān brāhmanāms tān idam vacah/ yad asau mātulakule pure rājagrhe sukhī, bharato vasati bhrātrā śatrughnena samanvitah/ tac chīghram javanā dūtā gacchantu tvaritair havaih, ānetum bhrātarau vīrau kim samīksāmahe vavam/ gacchantv iti tatah sarve vasistham vākyam abruvan, teṣām tadvacanam śrutvā vasistho vākyam abravīt/ ehi siddhārtha vijaya jayantāśokanandana, śrūyatām itikartavyam sarvān eva bravīmi vah, puram rājagrham gatvā śīghram śīghrajavair hayaih, tyaktaśokair idam vācyah śāsanād bharato mama/ Purohitas tvām kuśalam prāha sarve ca mantrinah, tvaramānaś ca niryāhi kṛtyam ātyayikam tvayā/ mā cāsmai prositam rāmam mā cāsmai pitaram mrtam, bhavantah śamsisur gatvā rāghavānām imam kṣayam/ kauśeyāni ca vastrāṇi bhūṣaṇāni varāṇi ca, kṣipram ādāya rājñaś ca bharatasya ca gacchata, vasisthenābhyanujñātā dūtāh samtvaritā vayuh/ te hastina pure gangām tīrtvā pratvanmukhā vayuh, pāñcāladeśam āsādva madhvena kurujāngalam/ te prasannodakām divyām nānāvihagasevitām, upātijagmur vegena śaradaṇḍām janākulām/ nikūlavṛkṣam āsādya divyam satyopayācanam, abhigamyābhivādyam tam kulingām prāviśan purīm/ abhikālam tatah prāpya tejo 'bhibhavanāc cyutāh, yayur madhyena bāhlīkān sudāmānam ca parvatam, visnoh padam preksamānā vipāśām cāpi śālmalīm/ te śrāntavāhanā dūtā vikrstena satā pathā, giri vrajam pura varam śīghram āsedur añjasā/ bhartuh priyārtham kularaksanārtham; bhartuś ca vamśasya parigrahārtham, ahedamānās tvarayā sma dūtā; rātryām tu te tat puram eva yātāḥ/

As Maharshis like Markandeya exhorted Maharshi Vasishtha about the urgency of appointing a King in place of the deceased King Dasharatha, the latter replied that Bharata was already nominated as the King of Ayodhya but as of then Bharata along with his younger brother had gone to his maternal uncle's Kingdom on a holiday. Then as the Maharshis suggested, Maharshi Vasishtha had then instructed five horesemen named Siddhardha-Vijaya-Ashoka - and Nandana to race up their horses to Rajagriha Nagara and bring Bharata and Shatrugnas as quickly. The Maharshi briefed that they ought not to mention even one inkling about the developments at Ayodhya about the King's passing away, or Rama-Sita-Lakshmana's going for long time vana vaasa and so on. They should only convey: *Purohitas tvām kuśalam prāha sarve ca mantrinaḥ, tvaramāṇaś ca niryāhi kṛtyam ātyayikam tvayā*/Bharata Shatrughna Kumaras! Purohita Vasishtha Maharshi and all the Ministers have the pleasure of sending their best wishes and enquiries of your welfare. The Purohita has requested both of you to return at once as he informed that there was a very urgent matter concerning you. *mā cāsmai proṣitam rāmam mā cāsmai pitaram mṛtam, bhavantaḥ śamsiṣur gatvā rāghavāṇām imam kṣayam*/ Even by mistake or slip of tougue you ought not mention that Rama had proceeded for vana vaasa and thus King Dasharatha had passed away. Then to Bharata Shatrughnas were sent gifts and silk clothes. As per instructions the horsemen

proceeded forth with and on way rested for a while and further crossed the Apartaal Mountain and towards the south having reached Pralamba giri crossed River Maalini. Then they further crossed Hastinapura's Ganga, reached Panchla Desha, Sharadanda, Kulinga, River Ikshumati as was worshipped by King Dasharatha, Bahmaaka Desha, Sudama Parvata, venerated Vishnu Paada on the mountain top, then moved o towards Pipaasha River. By did desire to halt for the night as they were dead tired at the township of Girivraja but having indeed recalled the instructions of the Maharshi and hence had to hurry up by the exhausted horses to reach the Royal Palace.

Sarga Sixty Nine

As messengers arrive at Bharata's place, the latter felt 'dussvapnas' early morning

Yām eva rātrim te dūtāḥ praviśanti sma tām purīm, bharatenāpi tām rātrim svapno dṛṣṭo 'yam apriyaḥ/ vyustām eva tu tām rātrim drstvā tam svapnam apriyam, putro rājādhirājasya subhrsam paryatapyata/ tapvamānam samājñāva vavasvāh privavādinah, āvāsam hi vinesvantah sabhāvām cakrire kathāḥ/vādayanti tathā śāntim lāsayanty api cāpare, nāṭakāny apare prāhur hāsyāni vividhāni ca/ sa tair mahātmā bharataḥ sakhibhiḥ priya vādibhiḥ, goṣṭhīhāsyāni kurvadbhir na prāhṛṣyata rāghavaḥ/ tam abravīt priyasakho bharatam sakhibhir vṛtam, suhṛdbhih paryupāsīnah kim sakhe nānumodase/ evam bruvānam suhrdam bharatah pratyuvāca ha, śrnu tvam yan nimittamme dainyam etad upāgatam/ svapne pitaram adrākṣam malinam muktamūrdhajam, patantam adriśikharāt kaluṣe gomaye hrade/ plavamānaś ca me dṛṣṭaḥ sa tasmin gomayahrade, pibann añjalinā tailam hasann iva muhur muhuh/tatas tilodanam bhuktvā punah punar adhaḥśirāḥ, tailenābhyaktasarvāngas tailam evāvagāhata/ svapne 'pi sāgaram śuskam candram ca patitam bhuvi, sahasā cāpi samśantam įvalitam jātavedasam/ avadīrnām ca prthivīm śuskām's ca vividhān drumān, aham pasyāmi vidhvastān sadhūmām's caiva pārvatān/ pīthe kārsnāyase cainam nisannam kṛṣṇavāṣaṣam, prahaṣanti sma rājānam pramadāh kṛṣṇapingalāh tvaramānas ca dharmātmā raktamālyānulepanah, rathena kharayuktena prayāto daksināmukhah/ evam etan mayā dṛṣṭam imām rātrim bhayāvahām, aham rāmo 'tha vā rājā lakṣmaṇo vā mariṣyati/ naro yānena yaḥ svapne kharayuktena vāti hi, acirāt tasva dhūmāgram citāvām sampradršvate, etannimittam dīno 'ham tan na vah pratipūjave/śusvatīva ca me kantho na svastham iva me manah, jugupsann iva cātmānam na ca paśyāmi kāraṇam/ imām hi duḥsvapnagatim niśāmya tām; anekarūpām avitarkitām purā, bhayam mahat tad dhrdayān na yāti me; vicintya rājānam acintyadarśanam/

Even at the arrival of the Nagar, in the small hours of that morning, Bharata has had a very inauspicious dream and having called a few close friends, expressed his anxiety about it. The dear friends rejected the dream and sought by diverting his anxiety; some took to instrumental music, some soothened by dances and hilarious jokes, but Bharata was the least amused. Then he described about the bad dream; he said that in the dream he saw his father; his face was dirty, his hairs were uncouth, and he appeared to have fallen into a mass of mud from a mountian top. That mud was of excretion of a cow. Then he was applying oil, consuming flows of it and was swimming in it. His face was pale and dry as of a dried up ocean, as Moon fell down on earth. The entire earth was shaking in swings as though there were repetitive quakes. Mountains were breaking down with their sides falling down with thunderous thuds emitting heavy smokes all around. King Dasharatha was seated on a black boulder wearing black clothes as black women were abusing and beating him. Dharmatma Dashratha was wearing a blood red garland with red sanders wood powder besmeared all over his body seated on a donkey which was braying away towards the southern direction. One raakshasi female was forcibly drawing the donkey cart. This type of a horrifying dream in the early hours of the day break is indeed alarming prognosting the death of a person, be it a father, or a brother!naro yānena yaḥ svapne kharayuktena yāti hi, acirāt tasya dhūmāgram citāyām sampradṛśyate, etannimittam dīno 'ham tan na vah pratipūjaye/śusyatīva ca me kantho na svastham iva me manah, jugupsann iva cātmānam na ca paśyāmi kāranam/ This type of horrible and frightening dream is badly impacting me with with terror, as my voice is sinking, my vision is fading, my faculties of smell and hearing are thinning too! Imām hi duhsvapnagatim niśāmva tām; anekarūpām avitarkitām purā,

bhayam mahat tad dhrdayān na yāti me; vicintya rājānam acintyadarśanam/ Friends! What all I have never even thought of or imagined, but I have had the most frightening and lurking feeling of Maha Raja Dasharatha appeared in my unforgettable dream of nerve shattering kind!

Sarga Seventy

Ayodhya's messengers arrive at Bharat's maternal uncle's palace, bring gifts and message to returm

Bharate bruvati svapnam dūtās te klāntavāhanāḥ, praviśyāsahyaparikham ramyam rājagṛham puram/ samāgamya tu rājñā ca rājaputrena cārcitāh, rājñah pādau grhītvā tu tam ūcur bharatam vacah Purohitastwaam kushalam praaha sarvecha Mantrinah, tvaramaanascha nirhyaahikrityakrityamaatyayikam tvayaa/ atra vimśatikotyas tu nrpater mātulasya te, daśakotyas tu sampūrnās tathaiva ca nrpātmaja/ pratigrhya ca tat sarvam svanuraktah suhrjjane, dūtān uvāca bharatah kāmaih sampratipūjya tān/kaccit sukuśalī rājā pitā daśaratho mama, kaccic cārāgatā rāme laksmane vā mahātmani/ārvā ca dharmaniratā dharmajñā dharmadarsinī, arogā cāpi kausalvā mātā rāmasva dhīmatah/ kaccit sumitrā dharmajñā jananī lakṣmaṇasya yā, śatrughnasya ca vīrasya sārogā cāpi madhyamā/ ātmakāmā sadā caṇḍī krodhanā prājñamāninī, arogā cāpi kaikeyī mātā me kim uvāca ha/ evam uktās tu te dūtā bharatena mahātmanā, ūcuh sampraśritam vākyam idam tam bharatam tadā, kuśalās te naravyāghra yesām kuśalam icchasi/bharataś cāpi tān dūtān evam ukto 'bhyabhāsata, āpṛcche 'ham mahārājam dūtāḥ samtvarayanti mām/ evam uktvā tu tān dūtān bharataḥ pārthivātmajaḥ, dūtaiḥ samcodito vākyam mātāmaham uvāca ha/ rājan pitur gamiṣyāmi sakāśam dūtacoditaḥ, punar apy aham eṣyāmi yadā me tvam smarişyasi/ bharatenaivam uktas tu nrpo mātāmahas tadā, tam uvāca subham vākyam sirasy āghrāya rāghavam/ gaccha tātānujāne tvām kaikeyī suprajās tvayā, mātaram kuśalam brūyāh pitaram ca paramtapa/ purohitam ca kuśalam ye cānye dvijasattamāh, tau ca tāta mahesvāsau bhrātaru rāmalaksmanau/ tasmai hastyuttamām's citrān kambalān ajināni ca, abhisatkṛtya kaikeyo bharatāya dhanam dadau/ rukma niskasahasre dve sodaśāśvaśatāni ca, satkṛtya kaikeyī putram kekayo dhanam ādiśat/ tathāmātyān abhipretān viśvāsyāms ca guṇānvitān, dadāv asvapatiḥ sīghram bharatāvānuvāvinah/ airāvatān aindraśirān nāgān vai privadarśanān, kharāñ śīghrān susamvuktān mātulo 'smai dhanam dadau/ antahpure 'tisamyrddhān yyāghrayīryabalānyitān damstrāyudhān mahākāyāñ śunaś copāyanam dadau/ sa mātāmaham āprcchya mātulam ca yudhājitam, ratham āruhya bharatah śatrughnasahito yayau/ rathān mandalacakrāmś ca yojayitvā parahśatam, ustrago 'śvakharair bhrtyā bharatam yāntam anvayuh/ balena gupto bharato mahātmā; sahāryakasyātmasamair amātyaih, ādāya śatrughnam apetaśatrur; grhād yayau siddha ivendralokāt/

As Bharata was detailing the early morning dream of distress to his friends and gradually recivered by its impact, the messengers from Ayodhya arrived and having touched the feet of the Raja Kumara stated: Purohitastwaam kushalam praaha sarvecha Mantrinah, tvaramaanascha nirhyaahi krityakrityamaatyavikam tvayaa/ Kumara! Purohita Vashishtha and all the Ministers would like to convey their blessings to you. They would like you to return to Ayodhya urgently on some official business. Then the messengers offered him valuable clothes and gifts, of which twenty crores were meant for the King of Kaikeya and ten crores meant for the Kumara's maternal uncle. Accordingly all the gifts were distributed by Bharata personally. Therafter Bharata enquired of the welfare of each and everybody at Ayodhya: kaccit sukuśalī rājā pitā daśaratho mama, kaccic cārāgatā rāme laksmane vā mahātmani/ āryā ca dharmaniratā dharmajñā dharmadarśinī, arogā cāpi kausalyā mātā rāmasya dhīmatah/ kaccit sumitrā dharmajñā jananī laksmaņasya yā, śatrughnasya ca vīrasya sārogā cāpi madhyamā/ātmakāmā sadā caṇḍī krodhanā prājñamāninī, arogā cāpi kaikeyī mātā me kim uvāca ha/ 'I hope my dear father the King Dashradha is happy and so do my famed elder brother Shri Rama. Trust the ever 'dharma paraayana' mother Devi Koshaulya contented and safe as ever. Also I hope brother Lakshmana and the 'dharmagina' co-mother Devi Sumitra are happy. Further more, how is my own mother who is ever selfish for her reasons of self pride and superiority Devi Kaikayi!' As Bharata enquired of all the family members at Ayodhya, the messengers conveyed the welfare of them all and most respectfully reminded him to be ready for the

return travel at once. Then Bharata appoached the maternal grand father and having respectfully prostrated to him stated that he was urgently required at Ayodhya for some official duty. The King then touched Bharata's head as a gesture of blessing . Similarly Bharata reached the maternal uncle with affection and was sent off with several elephants, tiger skins, valuable gifts of two thousand gold coins and jewellery, hundreds of well trained and faithful dogs, horses and elephants, and groups of body built and ever loyal personal attendant soldiers. Thus having recieved a ceremonial send off, Bharata along with the younger brother Shatrughna sat comfortably in the chariot with hundreds of soldiers, elephants, horses and innumerable and invaluable gifts behind and ahead.

Sarga Seventy One

Bharata Shatrughnas arrive at Ayodhya and found the city as silent and listless!

Sa prānmukho rājagrhād abhiniryāya vīrvavān, hrādinīm dūrapārām ca pratvaksrotas taranginīm, śatadrūm atarac chrīmān nadīm iksvākunandanah/ eladhāne nadīm tīrtvā prāpya cāparaparpatān, śilām ākurvatīm tīrtvā āgneyam śalyakartanam/ satyasamdhaḥ śuciḥ śrīmān prekṣamāṇaḥ śilāvahām, atyayāt sa mahāśailān vanam caitraratham prati/veginīm ca kulingākhyām hrādinīm parvatāvṛtām, yamunām prāpya samtīrno balam āśvāsayat tadā/ śītīkṛtya tu gātrāni klāntān āśvāsya vājinah, tatra snātvā ca pītvā ca prāyād ādāya codakam/ rājaputro mahāranyam anabhīksnopasevitam, bhadro bhadrena yānena mārutah kham ivātyayāt/ toraṇam dakṣiṇārdhena jambūprastham upāgamat, varūtham ca yayau ramyam grāmam daśarathātmajah/ tatra ramve vane vāsam krtvāsau prāmukho vavau,udvānam ujjihānāvāh priyakā yatra pādapāh/ sālāms tu priyakān prāpya sīghrān āsthāya vājinah, anujñāpyātha bharato vāhinīm tvarito yayau/ vāsam krtvā sarvatīrthe tīrtvā cottānakām nadīm, anyā nadīś ca vividhāh pārvatīyais turamgamaih/ hastiprsthakam āsādya kutikām atyavartata, tatāra ca naravyāghro lauhitye sa kapīvatīm, ekasāle sthānumatīm vinate gomatīm nadīm/ kalinga nagare cāpi prāpya sālavanam tadā, bharatah ksipram āgacchat supariśrāntavāhanah/ vanam ca samatītyāśu śarvaryām arunodaye, ayodhyām manunā rājñā nirmitām sa dadarśa ha/ tām purīm puruṣavyāghraḥ saptarātroṣiṭaḥ pathi, avodhvām agrato drstvā rathe sārathim abravīt/ esā nātipratītā me punvodvānā vasasvinī, avodhvā drśvate dūrāt sārathe pāndumrttikā/ vajvabhir gunasampannair brāhmanair vedapāragaih, bhūvistham rṣhair ākīrṇā rājarṣivarapālitā/ ayodhyāyām purāśabdaḥ śrūyate tumulo mahān, samantān naranārīṇām tam adya na śrnomy aham/ udyānāni hi sāyāhne krīditvoparatair naraih, samantād vipradhāvadbhih prakāśante mamānyadā/ tāny adyānurudantīva parityaktāni kāmibhih, aranyabhūteva purī sārathe pratibhāti me/ na hy atra yānair drśyante na gajair na ca vājibhih, niryānto vābhiyānto vā naramukhyā yathāpuram/ anistāni ca pāpāni paśyāmi vividhāni ca, nimittāny amanojñāni tena sīdati te manah/ dvāreņa vaijayantena prāvišac chrāntavāhanah, dvāhsthair utthāya vijayam prstas taih sahito yayau/ sa tv anekāgrahṛdayo dvāḥstham pratyarcya tam janamc sūtam aśvapateh klāntam abravīt tatra rāghavaḥ/ śrutā no yādṛśāḥ pūrvam nṛpatīnām vināśane, ākārās tān aham sarvān iha paśyāmi sārathe/malinam cāśrupūrnāksam dīnam dhyānaparam krśam, sastrī pumsam ca paśyāmi janam utkanthitam pure/ity evam uktvā bharatah sūtam tam dīnamānasah, tānv anistānv avodhvāvām preksva rājagrham vavau/ tām śūnyaśrngāṭakaveśmarathyām; rajo'ruṇadvārakapāṭayantrām, dṛṣṭvā purīm indrapurī prakāśām; duhkhena sampūrnataro babhūva/ bahūni paśyan manaso 'priyāni; yāny annyadā nāsya pure babhūvuh, avāksirā dīnamanā nahṛstah; pitur mahātmā pravivesa vesma/

From Raja Griha, Bharata Shatrughnas proceeded towards rivers Sudama and further to Hladini and Shatadru (Satlej) and reached Aparaparvat named village and further to Shila River where 'shilpis' were famed for their 'shilpa vidya' or rock carvings. Then they reached the sangama place of Sarasvati and Ganga, and having crossed River Kulinga and reached the banks of Punya Nadi Yamuna. As the horses and the entourage were tired, Bharata-Shatrughna Kumaras had refreshing baths. Proceeding further, they reached Amshudhana village near Bhagirathi Ganga and on to the renowned Pragvat Nagara. Having crossed Ganga, they reached Kutikoshthi rivulet, Torana graama, Jambuptrastha, and Varuthaka village. They spent the night in a garden with tall trees and scented flowers. The next halt was at Kadamba

Gardens. There after, he hurried up to be able to cross the villages of Sarva Tirtha- Hasti prishthak-Rivers Kutika-Kapeevati-village Ekasaala-Vinata graama-and having crossed Gomati river banks and Saala vana near Kalinga nagara. As the horses and the soldiers were all dead tired they spent the next night too at Saala Vana. By the next day break, Bharata witnessed the ancient Ayodhya which was built by Manu. On the eightth day of their departure from Raja Griha, the entourage of Bharata was able to see Ayodhya from a distance. eṣā nātipratītā me puṇyodyānā yaśasvinī, ayodhyā dṛśyate dūrāt sārathe pāṇḍumṛttikā/ yajvabhir guṇasampannair brāhmaṇair vedapāragaih, bhūyiṣṭham ṛṣhair ākīrṇā rājarṣivarapālitā/ avodhyāyām purāsabdah śrūvate tumulo mahān, samantān naranārīnām tam adva na śrnomy aham/Having seen the famed city of Ayodhya Bharata felt rather surprised and addressed the 'saraathi' who had arrived from Ayodhya, he stated: how come that this ever active and bristling city with rushing up citizens on the principal roads of approach were almost empty; this city is famed for alluring gardens, yagjna karyas, veda brahmanas, traders, business men, market places, and the high pitched noises of crowds! Drishyante vaanijopyadya na yathaapurvamatrsa vai, dhyaana samvignahridayaa nashtavyaapaarayantritaah/ Worship of Deva Pratimas appears has stopped; flowers and garlands on sale in the markets are non existent; traders and shops are absent, what indeed is the reasin for all this! tānv adyānurudantīva parityaktāni kāmibhiḥ, araṇyabhūteva purī sārathe pratibhāti me/ na hy atra yānair dṛśyante na gajair na ca vājibhiḥ, niryānto vābhiyānto vā naramukhyā yathāpuram/ aniṣṭāni ca pāpāni paśyāmi vividhāni ca, nimittāny amanojñāni tena sīdati te manah/ Very normally as a daily routine, the evenings are crowded in the pulic gardens but they are all empty and these places are not only empty and the pavements are lying uncleaned and dirty as of several weeks! Sarathe! The City appears to be dead with no crowds, fithy and foul smellings like a forest! ity evam uktyā bharatah sūtam tam dīnamānasah, tāny aniṣṭāny ayodhyāyām prekṣya rājagṛham yayau/ Bharata having expressed his utter shock of the state of Ayodhya proceeded to Raja Mahal. On the way a few onlookers were heard saying that the sheen of Ayodhya would never return again, Bharata stooped his head in shame!

Sarga Seventy Two

Bharata reaches Kaikeyi palace and hears the news of his father's demise-Rama Sita Lakshmana 'vana vaasa' and Bharata's rajyaabhisheka!

Apaśyams tu tatas tatra pitaram pitur ālaye, jagāma bharato drastum mātaram mātur ālaye/ anuprāptam tu tam drstvā kaikeyī prositam sutam, utpapāta tadā hrstā tyaktvā sauvarnamānasam/ sa pravišyaiva dharmātmā svagrham śrīvivarjitam, bharatah preksya jagrāha jananyāś caranau śubhau/ tam mūrdhni samupāghrāya parisvajya yaśasvinam, anke bharatam āropya prastum samupacakrame/ adya te kati cid rātryaś cyutasyāryakaveśmanah, api nādhvaśramah śīghram rathenāpatatas tava/āryakas te sukuśalo yudhājin mātulas tava, pravāsāc ca sukham putra sarvam me vaktum arhasi/evam prsthas tu kaikevyā priyam pārthivanandanah, ācasta bharatah sarvam mātre rājīvalocanah/ adya me saptamī rātriś cvutasyāryakaveśmanah, ambāyāh kuśalī tāto yudhājin mātulaś ca me/ yan me dhanam ca ratnam ca dadau rājā paramtapah, pariśrāntam pathy abhavat tato 'ham pūrvam āgatah/ rājavākyaharair dūtais tvaryamāņo 'ham āgataḥ, yad aham prastum icchāmi tad ambā vaktum arhasi/ śūnyo 'yam śayanīyas te paryanko hemabhūsitah, na cāyam iksvākujanah prahrstah pratibhāti me/ rājā bhavati bhūyisthgam ihāmbāyā niveśane, tam aham nādya paśyāmi drastum icchann ihāgatah/ pitur grahīsye caranau tam mamākhyāhi prechatah, āhosvid amba įvesthāyāh kausalyāyā niveśane/ tam pratyuvāca kaikeyī priyavad ghoram apriyam, ajānantam prajānantī rājyalobhena mohitā, yā gatih sarvabhūtānām tām gatim te pitā gataḥ/ tac chrutvā bharato vākyam dharmābhijanavāñ śuciḥ, papāta sahasā bhūmau pitṛśokabalārditaḥ/ tataḥ śokena samvītaḥ pitur maraṇaduḥkhitaḥ, vilalāpa mahātejā bhrāntākulitacetanaḥ/ etat suruciram bhāti pitur me śayanam purā, tad idam na vibhāty adya vihīnam tena dhīmatā/ tam ārtam devasamkāśam samīksya patitam bhuvi, utthāpayitvā śokārtam vacanam cedam abravīt/ uttisthottistha kim śese rājaputra mahāyaśah, tvadvidhā na hi śocanti santah sadasi sammatāh/ sa rudatyā ciram kālam bhūmau viparivṛtya ca, jananīm pratyuvācedam śokair bahubhir āvṛtaḥ/ abhiṣekṣyati rāmam tu rājā yajñam nu vaksvati, itv aham krtasamkalpo hrsto vātrām avāsisam/ tad idam hv anvathā bhūtam vvavadīrnam mano

mama, pitaram yo na paśyāmi nityam priyahite ratam/ amba kenātyagād rājā vyādhinā mayy anāgate, dhanyā rāmādayah sarve yaih pitā saṃskrtah svayam/ na nūnaṃ mām mahārājah prāptam jānāti kīrtimān, upajighred dhi mām mūrdhni tātah samnamya satvaram/ kva sa pāṇih sukhasparśas tātasyāklistakarmaṇaḥ, yena mām rajasā dhvastam abhīkṣṇam parimārjati/ yo me bhrātā pitā bandhur yasya dāso 'smi dhīmataḥ, tasya mām śīghram ākhyāhi rāmasyākliṣṭa karmaṇaḥ/ pitā hi bhavati jyeṣṭho dharmam āryasya jānataḥ, tasya pādau grahīṣyāmi sa hīdānīṁ gatir mama/ ārye kim abravīd rājā pitā me satyavikramah, paścimam sādhusamdeśam icchāmi śrotum ātmanah/ iti pṛṣṭā yathātattvam kaikeyī vākyam abravīt, rāmeti rājā vilapan hā sīte lakṣmaṇeti ca, sa mahātmā param lokam gato gatimatām varah/ imām tu paścimām vācam vyājahāra pitā tava, kāla dharmapariksiptah pāśair iva mahāgajah/ siddhārthās tu narā rāmam āgatam sītayā saha, lakṣmaṇam ca mahābāhum drakṣyanti punar āgatam/ tac chrutvā visasādaiva dvitīyā priyasamsanāt, visannavadano bhūtvā bhūyah papraccha mātaram/kva cedānīm sa dharmātmā kausalyānandavardhanah, laksmanena saha bhrātrā sītayā ca samam gatah/ tathā pṛṣṭā yathātattvam ākhyātum upacakrame, mātāsya yugapad vākyam vipriyam priyasankayā/ sa hi rājasutah putra cīravāsā mahāvanam, dandakān saha vaidehvā laksmanānucaro gatah/ tac chrutvā bharatas trasto bhrātuś cāritraśankayā, svasva vamśasva māhātmyāt prastum samupacakrame/ kaccin na brāhmaṇavadham hṛtam rāmeṇa kasya cit, kaccin nāḍhyo daridro vā tenāpāpo vihimsitaḥ/kaccin na paradārān vā rājaputro 'bhimanyate, kasmāt sa daņḍakāranye bhrūṇaheva vivāsitaḥ/ athāsya capalā mātā tat svakarma yathātatham, tenaiva strīsvabhāvena vyāhartum upacakrame/ na brāhmana dhanam kimcid dhṛtam rāmena kasya cit, kaś cin nādhyo daridro vā tenāpāpo vihimsitah, na rāmah paradārāms ca cakşurbhyām api paśyati/ mayā tu putra śrutvaiva rāmasyaivābhiṣecanam, yācitas te pitā rājyam rāmasya ca vivāsanam/ sa svavrttim samāsthāya pitā te tat tathākarot, rāmas ca sahasaumitrih presitah saha sītayā/ tam apaśyan priyam putram mahīpālo mahāyaśāḥ, putraśokaparidyūnaḥ pañcatvam upapedivān/ tvayā tv idānīm dharmajña rājatvam avalambyatām, tvatkrte hi mayā sarvam idam evamvidham kṛtam/ tat putra śīghram vidhinā vidhijñair; vasisthamukhyaih sahito dvijendraih, samkālya rājānam adīnasattvam; ātmānam urvyām abhisecayasva/

Presuming that he would visit the King's palace later, Bharata foremost visited his mother's palace and on seeing the appearance of Bharata, Kaikeyi sprang up from her golden chair with excitement. He found his palace was looking unbecoming inside out, he touched his mother's feet. She embraced the sons and as they were seated, she initiated the conversation: my sons, I have missed you for long as you had gone to the maternal uncle's kingdom; how was the journey; hope all is well there; are you tired! Having nodded his head positively, he said that it was a week or so that he left his maternal grand father's place and all were safe and happy there and we were sent off with numberless gifts and memories. But tell me mother, why are you looking pale and lonely! Is the father not here; I have actually felt that father would be here itself, and that is why I preferred coming here itself first! Tell me where and how is dear father! Is he with mother Kousalya! Then Kaikeyi kept silent for a moment and thought that as Bharata was totally unware of the factual situation that it was out of her self avarice which brought about her husbands's death, she responded slowly: vā gatih sarvabhūtānām tām gatim te pitā gatah/ tac chrutvā bharato vākvam dharmābhijanavāñ śuciḥ, papāta sahasā bhūmau pitṛśokabalārditaḥ/ 'Son! Your dear father King Dasharadha, a great Mahatma, Tejasvi, Yagjna sheela, satpurusha's ashraya, one night had reached where all the human beings finally should reach!' On hearing this stunning news suddenly, Bharatha shouted loudly, cried broken down instantly and swooned down. On recovering senses gradually, he crawled up to the father's bed and cried that the bed was like a moon less sky and like dried up 'maha samudra'! Having burst out like wise, he crawled and rolled in rounds under the raised bed symbolically. Having gradually pacifying Bharata for good time, Kaikeyi addressed Bharata: uttisthottistha kim śese rājaputra mahāyaśaḥ, tvadvidhā na hi śocanti santaḥ sadasi sammatāḥ/ sa rudatyā ciram kālam bhūmau viparivrtya ca, jananīm pratyuvācedam sokair bahubhir āvrtah/ abhişekṣyati rāmam tu rājā yajñam nu yaksyati, ity aham kṛtasamkalpo hṛsto yātrām ayāsisam/ tad idam hy anyathā bhūtam vyavadīrnam mano mama, pitaram yo na paśyāmi nityam priyahite ratam/ 'Raja! please ge up as you are fallen on earth in this manner. You are worthy of being honoured in Royal Courts and your responsibility is of a King in the making. Dear son! Your mental sharpness at this juncture as the King of Ayodhya ought to to be akin

to the supreme brightness of Surya Deva; you should now on be the figure of top authority of daanadharamas- vedic karyas and all such responsibilities of a King.' Then Bharata was further stunned and said: I had rightfully imagined that I was being called back from my maternal grandfather to join the celebrations of Shri Rama's 'yuva rajatva'! But on the contrary King Dasharatha is mo more! What had happened to him! Did he take ill suddenly. Rama has to now take our the entire responsibility of 'antyeshthi!' Now: yo me bhrātā pitā bandhur yasya dāso 'smi dhīmataḥ, tasya mām śīghram ākhyāhi rāmasyāklista karmaṇaḥ/ pitā hi bhavati jyestho dharmam āryasya jānataḥ, tasya pādau grahīsyāmi sa hīdānīm gatir mama/ Rama is my brother, father, relative and my dearest; please urgently send intimation Rama of my arrival. Those who awe aware of the nuances of dharma are indeed aware that the elder brother is as good as one's father himself and as such I seek his asylum!' Iti prushthaa yathaatatvam Kaikeyi vaakyababraveet, Rameti Rajaa vilapan haa Seete Lakshmaneti cha,sa mahatmaa param lokam gato matimataam varah/siddhārthās tu narā rāmam āgatam sītayā saha, laksmanam ca mahābāhum draksyanti punar āgatam/ As Bharata was insisting on Rama's presence there, Kaikeyi cleverly and indirectly worded that the King Dasharatha took his last breathing crying: 'Alas Rama, alas Sita, alas Lakshmana. While dying, he also expressed that those could witness Rama accompanied by Devi Sita and Lakshmana would be blessed.' Innocently inquisitive Bharata asked as to where Rama Sita Lakshmanas had gone! Kaikeyi replied craftily that they were dressed in 'mriga charma' and departed for 'dandakaranya'! Bharata kept on wondering as to why they had left likewise! Had Rama's 'dharma paraayanata' which had been the hallmark of the Vamsha got degenerated! He interrogated Kaikeyi: Had Rama looted some body or killed an innocent! Hope Rama was not involved with another woman! Kasmaat sa dandakaaranye bhrataa Raamo vivaasitah/ Why indeed Rama was punished and banished for 'vana vaasa'?' Then having seized of the seriousness of the situation, Kaikeyi revealed: 'neither Rama looted and killed a brahmana, nor he had illicit love affair; but: mayā tu putra śrutvaiva rāmasyaivābhisecanam, yācitas te pitā rājyam rāmasya ca vivāsanam/ sa svavrttim samāsthāya pitā te tat tathākarot, rāmaś ca sahasaumitrih presitah saha sītayā/ tam apaśyan priyam putram mahīpālo mahāyaśāh, putraśokaparidyūnah pañcatvam upapedivān/ Dear son! Let me now tell you the trutful reality: I hah realised that King Dasharatha decided to celebrate the Yuva Raja Abhisheka to Rama and I requested that this opportunity be afforded in your favour and suggested that Rama be banished for 'vana vaasa'. King Dasharatha recalling the two boons granted to me in the past and being a basic follower of Truthfulness, he conceded to my requests. As Sita and Lakshmana also decided to accompany Rama, they too accompanied Rama. As they proceeded to 'vana vaasa', the outstanding follower of 'dharma and nyaya', your father died of 'putra shoka'. This indeed is the truthful reality. tvayā tv idānīm dharmajña rājatvam avalambyatām, tvatkrte hi mayā sarvam idam evamvidham krtam/ tat putra śīghram vidhinā vidhijñair; vasisthamukhyaih sahito dvijendraih, samkālya rājānam adīnasattvam; ātmānam urvyām abhisecayasva/ Now, My son of virtue, do assume the honour of Kingship as I have nicely crafted every detail; do not cry now and face the situation with firmness and as per dharma. Now, Kingship is right at your feet. So brace up the opportunity on hand with bravery, firmness and commitment! As all the arrengements have been tied up by no less than Maharshi Vasishtha himself, get ready of the Rajvabhisheka!'

Sarga Seventy Three

The rattled up Bharata protests violently and detests Kaikeyi's evil mindedness

Shritvā tu pitaram vṛttam bhrātaru ca vivāsitau, bharato duḥkhasamtapta idam vacanam abravīt/ kim nuṇkāryam hatasyeha mama rājyena śocataḥ, vihīnasyātha pitrā ca bhrātrā pitṛsamena ca/ duḥkhe me duḥkham akaror vraṇe kṣāram ivādadhāḥ, rājānam pretabhāvastham kṛtvā rāmam ca tāpasam/ kulasya tvam abhāvāya kālarātrir ivāgatā, aṅgāram upagūhya sma pitā me nāvabuddhavān/ kausalyā ca sumitrā ca putraśokābhipīḍite, duṣkaram yadi jīvetām prāpya tvām jananīm mama/ nanu tv āryo 'pi dharmātmā tvayi vṛttim anuttamām, vartate guruvṛttijño yathā mātari vartate/ tathā jyeṣṭhā hi me mātā kausalyā dīrghadarśinī, tvayi dharmam samāsthāya bhaginyām iva vartate/ tasyāḥ putram kṛtātmānam

cīravalkalavāsasam, prasthāpya vanavāsāya katham pāpe na śocasi/ apāpadarśinam śūram kṛtātmānam yaśasvinam, pravrājya cīravasanam kim nu paśyasi kāraṇam/ lubdhāyā vidito manye na te 'ham rāghavam prati, tathā hy anartho rājyārtham tvayā nīto mahān ayam/ aham hi puruṣavyāghrāv apaśyan rāmalakṣmaṇau, kena śaktiprabhāvena rājyam rakṣitum utsahe/ tam hi nityam mahārājo balavantam mahābalaḥ, apāśrito 'bhūd dharmātmā merur meruvanam yathā/ so 'ham katham imam bhāram mahādhuryasamudyatam, damyo dhuram ivāsādya saheyam kena caujasā/ atha vā me bhavec chaktir yogair buddhibalena vā, sakāmām na kariṣyāmi tvām aham putragardhinīm, nivartayiṣyāmi vanād bhrātaram svajanapriyam/ ity evam uktvā bharato mahātmā; priyetarair vākyagaṇais tudams tām, śokāturaś cāpi nanāda bhūyaḥ; simho yathā parvatagahvarasthaḥ/

Having heard the double edged horrifying developments at Ayodhya of the King's agitated death and the vana vaasa of Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas, Bharata was shocked and wept non-stop, shouting away: 'what use now is my Kingship; is it a boon or curse! The double horror is the sudden death of the father and the vana vaasa of the father like elder brother! This is like applying a thick layer of salt on a blistering wound! Now I am sunk! Kulasya tyam abhāyāya kālarātrir iyāgatā, angāram upagūhya sma pitā me nāvabuddhavān/ Mother! You have literally killed me as you murdered my father and seperated me from my father- like elder brother! Having tortured me this way you have applied two heavy fire bricks on my heart and even now you are blind of the poisonous events and their evil consequences! You are a 'paapi' and 'kalankini'! You have ruined our lives! Tell me why you had tortured and harassed my exemplary father! Explain to me why you had turned off Rama out of his place of living! He is such outstanding example of virtue and modesty without one word in protest! You have also tortured Param Saadhvis Devis Kousalya and Sumitra with double horrors of father's death and vana vasa for their sons of fame and of untold modesty! Do you not recall that these two mothers have been treating me and Sharughna as her own sons training us in virtue and dutifulness. apāpadarśinam śūram kṛtātmānam yaśasvinam, pravrājya cīravasanam kim nu paśyasi kāranam/ lubdhāyā vidito manye na te 'ham rāghavam prati, tathā hy anartho rājyārtham tvayā nīto mahān ayam/ No body on earth could point out even one blemish or indiscretion of Shri Rama; he used teach and train the younger brothers as to how to behave with gurus, co- mothers, co-brothers, and co human beings and even other beings providing as the mottos of 'treat others as treat one's own self'. Do you not recall how tenderly your co mothers have been treating you even when you never reciprocated! How dare you you insisted Rama Sita Lakshmanas to be attired in 'mriga charma'! Papini! Even a you could never discover even a single blemish in Rama! Now I cannot imagine as to what would be the outcome of this Kingdom as you have ruined it from its high pedestal of fame and name! Now without the support and confidence of 'Purusha Simhas' like Rama and Lakshmana, how indeed could I ensure the safety of this glorious kindim! Even Maha Rathi Dasharatha had been in the manner with which he had been banking on the outstanding bravery and confidence of Rama Lakshmanas! [Sarga six of the Essence of Vaalmiki Baala Ramayana is recalled about the warrior like King Dasharatha: 'the glorious 'Atiratha' who could face a battle of ten thousand 'Maha Rathaas' or great charioteers was an outstanding administrator with incredible far sight.] But now how indeed I could carry out this 'Rajya bhaara' or the heavy responsibility of Kingship! *Utpannaa tu katham buddhitaveyam* paapadarshini, saadhu chaaritravibhrasththe purveshaam no vigarhitaah/<u>Asmin kule hi sarveshaam</u> jyeshtho Raajyebhishichyate, apare bhraatara -stasmin prayartane samaahitaah/ Durmati Kaikeyi! Even though you were an offspring of an outstanding heritage, some of my ancestors might have given a curse and that must have caused your ill famed birth. In this vamsha, the eldest son is only eligible to take over Kingship. In fact, all over the universe, only 'primo geniture' or the first born, becomes the subsequent King!] Na tu kaamam karishyaami tavaaham paapa nishchaye, yayaa vyasanamaarabdham jeevitaanta karam mama/ Sinful woman! The crooked and disgusting plan that you have devised shall most certainly be a hopeless failure and I am not a party to this horrible sin; wretched woman! You have brought me to the brink of this most dangerous turn to my very life!' So saying Bharata kept on crying aloud, but Kaikeyi roared like a hurt lioness in her cave!

Sarga Seventy Four

Bharata's open protests against Kaikeyi

Tām tathā garhayitvā tu mātaram bharatas tadā, roṣeṇa mahatāviṣṭah punar evābravīd vacah/ rājyād bhramśasya kaikeyi nrśamse dustacārini, parityaktā ca dharmena mā mrtam rudatī bhaya/ kim nu te 'dūṣayad rājā rāmo vā bhṛśadhārmikah, yayor mṛtyur vivāsaś ca tvatkṛte tulyam āgatau/ bhrūṇahatyām asi prāptā kulasyāsya vināśanāt, kaikeyi narakam gaccha mā ca bhartuḥ salokatām/ yat tvayā hīdṛśam pāpam krtam ghorena karmanā, sarvalokapriyam hitvā mamāpy āpāditam bhayam/ tyatkrte me pitā vrtto rāmaś cāranyam āśritah, ayaśo jīvaloke ca tvayāham pratipāditah / mātrrūpe mamāmitre nrśamse rājyakāmuke, na te 'ham abhibhāsyo 'smi durvṛtte patighātini kausalyā ca sumitrā ca yāś cānyā mama mātarah, duhkhena mahatāvistās tvām prāpya kuladūsinīm/ na tvam aśvapateh kanyā dharmarājasya dhīmatah, rāksasī tatra jātāsi kulapradhvamsinī pituh/ yat tvayā dhārmiko rāmo nityam satyaparāyanah, vanam prasthāpito duḥkhāt pitā ca tridivam gataḥ/ yat pradhānāsi tat pāpam mayi pitrā vinākṛte, bhrātṛbhyām ca parityakte sarvalokasya cāpriye/ kausalyām dharmasamyuktām viyuktām pāpaniścaye, krtyā kam prāpsyase tv adva lokam niravagāminī/ kim nāvabudhyase krūre nivatam bandhusamśrayam, jyeştham pitrsamam rāmam kausalyāyātmasambhavam/ angapratyangajah putro hṛdayāc cāpi jāyate, tasmāt priyataro mātuḥ priyatvān na tu bāndhavaḥ/ anyadā kila dharmajñā surabhiḥ surasammatā, vahamānau dadarśorvyām putrau vigatacetasau/ tāv ardhadivase śrāntau dṛstvā putrau mahītale, ruroda putra śokena bāspaparyākuleksanā/ adhastād vrajatas tasyāh surarājño mahātmanah, bindavah patitā gātre sūkṣmāh surabhigandhinah/ tām drṣṭvā śokasamtaptām vajrapāṇir yaśasvinīm, indrah prāñjalir udvignah surarājo 'bravīd vacah/ bhayam kaccin na cāsmāsu kutaś cid vidyate mahat, kuto nimittah śokas te brūhi sarvahitaiṣiṇi/ evam uktā tu surabhih surarājena dhīmatā, patyuvāca tato dhīrā vākyam vākyaviśāradā/ śāntam pātam na vah kim cit kutaś cid amarādhipa, aham tu magnau śocāmi svaputrau visame sthitau/ etau dṛstvā kṛsau dīnau sūryaraśmipratāpinau, vadhyamānau balīvardau karsakena surādhipa/ mama kāyāt prasūtau hi duhkhitau bhāra pīditau, yau dṛstvā paritapye 'ham nāsti putrasamah priyah/ yasyāh putra sahasrāni sāpi śocati kāmadhuk, kim punar yā vinā rāmam kausalyā vartayişyati/ ekaputrā ca sādhvī ca vivatseyam tvayā kṛtā, tasmāt tvam satatam duḥkham pretya ceha ca lapsyase/ aham hy apacitim bhrātuh pituś ca sakalām imām, vardhanam vaśasaś cāpi karisyāmi na samśayah/ānāyayitvā tanayam kausalyāyā mahādyutim, svayam eva praveksyāmi vanam muninisevitam/ iti nāga ivāraņye tomarānkuśacoditaḥ, papāta bhuvi samkruddho niḥśvasann iva pannagaḥ/ samraktanetrah sithilāmbaras tadā; vidhūtasarvābharanah paramtapah, babhūva bhūmau patito nrpātmajah: śacīpateh keturivotsavaksave/

Bharata continued lashing his anger and hatred for his mother Kaikeyi! He said that she should be banished from the Kingdom as she had rolled down from the 'Dharma shikharas' or the mountain tops of dharma. Kaikeyi! as you have done the sin of 'Kula vinashana' you be deemed to have assumed the 'bhruna hatya maha paapa' killing a fertility egg and as such be cursed with 'naraka yatana' or the unimaginable experiences of hell. [Pancha Maha Patakas are stated as Stree hatya, Bhruna / Shishu hathya, Brahmana hatya, Go hatya and Guru hatya / Guru Bharya Gamana.] In other words, she should seek to cry for a still born child like me. Give me one justification as to why you have hastened dear father's death, Rama Sita Lakskmana vana vaasa and as a corollary of 'loka ninda' or universal slander and denigration for me! mātrrūpe mamāmitre nrśamse rājyakāmuke, na te 'ham abhibhāsyo 'smi durvṛtte patighātini/ Owing to the avarice of becoming a King's Mother you have now turned out as 'dushta charini' and 'pati ghatini' or cruel demoness and a killer of husband! You will go down in human history as an evil mother of an innocent son!Devis Kousalya and Sumitraas well as the mothers of the Kingdom have all been crushed in their thoughts just because of your arrogance and high - handedness. Indeed you are not to be deemed as the 'kanya' of Dharmaraja King Ashvapati but 'kula dhvamsi raakshasi!' The double edged sins that you had committed are are now resulting in viscious circles of sending off Dharmatma Rama to vanavasa, Pativrata Sita Devi accompanying him, dear Lakshmana following them, this led to father's death, and now your anxiety and ambition to reign the Kingdom by makinbg me a puppet King and pulling down the high prestige of the Kingdom and the worst of all making the public of

the Kingdom harassed and exposing it to internal rebellion and external attacks! Normally, mothers give birth to sons from the purity of their hearts, but not as toys to play with. Anyadaa kila dharmaginaa Surabhih sura sammataa, vahamaanou dadashrovyaam putrou vigata chetasou/ In the remote past, Surabhi Kama dhenu saw its sons as they had become senseless; like wise, a dharmatma stree too became unconscious like me. The two sons were commanded by the masters of the sons to keep on tilling the land even during the mid day blaze of the Sun. The kind mother Surabhi kept on crying about the fate and misfortune of the oxen. Lord Indra realised that the divine cow Kamadhenu was in distress. Taam drishtvaa shoka samtaptaam varjapaaniryashasvineem, Indrah praanjalirudignah Sura raajobraveed vachah/ As Indra Deva noticed that the Divine Cow Surabhi was crying away on the high skies incessantly, he prayed to her with folded hands; he asked hear about her great grief. Kama dhenu replied: Aham tu magnou shochaanmi swa putrou vishame sthitou, yetou drishtaa krushou deenou Surya rashmi prataapitou, vadhyamaanou balewevardou karshakena duraatmanaa/ Mama kaayaat prasootou hi duhkhitou bhaara peeditou, you drishtvaa paritapyeham naasti sutaan manyate param/Deveshwara! I have no complaints from swarga; but my two sons in the form of oxen are being treated mercilessly by the farmers on earth even in heat of the mid Surva. These are my own children and like wise a number less oxen are born on earth! Yasyaah putra sahasraani saapi shochati Kaamadhuk, kim punaryaa vinaa Raamam Koushalyaa vartayishyati / Just as Kamadhenu too keeps crying for her sons, Devis Koushalya and Sumitra too keep crying and how could they survive such hapless situation as their sons are be harassed for no fault of theirs! aham hy apacitim bhrātuh pitus ca sakalām imām, vardhanam yasasas cāpi karisyāmi na samsayah/ ānāyayitvā tanayam kausalyāyā mahādyutim, svayam eva pravekṣyāmi vanam muninisevitam/ I have no decided that having renounced this type of very temporary Kingship as decided by Maharshis, I will most certainly go to Shri Rama and prostrated him to kindly return and accept his lasting Kingship! Having thus shouted at Kaikeyi, Bharata fell down on earth like an elephant and dragged himself like a serpent with heavy breathings.

<u>Vishleshana on Surabhi:</u> In the *Ramayana*, Surabhi is described to be distressed by the manner of public's treatment of her sons, the oxen, in the fields. Her tears are considered a bad omen for the Devas and Indra. *Raghu vamsha* of Kaalidaasa mentions that the King Dilip, an ancestor of Shri Rama once passed by Kamadhenu-Surabhi, but failed to pay respects to her, thus incurring the wrath of the divine cow, who cursed the king to go childless. So, since Kamadhenu had gone to Patala, Maharshi Vasistha advised the King to serve Nandini, Kamadhenu's daughter as the latter was in Vasishta's ashram. Accompanied by his wife, the King propitiated Nandini, who neutralized her mother's curse and blessed the King to have a son, who was named Raghu. The Vana Parva of the *Maha Bharata* also narrates a similar instance: Surabhi cries about the plight of her son, a bullock, who is overworked and beaten by his peasant-master. Indra, moved by Surabhi's tears, stopped rains to stop the ploughing of the tormented bullock!

Sarga Seventy Five

Bharata's 'shapatha' / swearing in the presence of Devi Kousalya

Tathaiva krośatas tasya bharatasya mahātmanaḥ, kausalyā śabdam ājñāya sumitrām idam abravīt/
āgataḥ krūrakāryāyāḥ kaikeyyā bharataḥ sutaḥ, tam aham draṣṭum icchāmi bharatam dīrghadarśinam/
evam uktvā sumitrām sā vivarṇā malināmbarā, pratasthe bharato yatra vepamānā vicetanā/ sa tu
rāmānujaś cāpi śatrughnasahitas tadā, pratasthe bharato yatra kausalyāyā niveśanam/ tataḥ śatrughna
bharatau kausalyām prekṣya duḥkhitau, paryaṣvajetām duḥkhārtām patitām naṣṭacetanām/ bharatam
pratyuvācedam kausalyā bhṛśaduḥkhitā, idam te rājyakāmasya rājyam prāptam akaṇṭakam, samprāptam
bata kaikeyyā śīghram krūreṇa karmaṇā/prasthāpya cīravasanam putram me vanavāsinam, kaikeyī kam
guṇam tatra paśyati krūradarśinī/ kṣipram mām api kaikeyī prasthāpayitum arhati, hiraṇyanābho
yatrāste suto me sumahāyaśāḥ/ atha vā svayam evāham sumitrānucarā sukham, agnihotram puraskṛtya
prasthāsye yatra rāghavaḥ/ kāmam vā svayam evādya tatra mām netum arhasi, yatrāsau puruṣavyāghras
tapvate me tapah sutah/ idam hi tava vistīrnam dhanadhānvasamācitam, hastvaśvarathasampūrnam

rājyam niryātitam tayā/ evam vilapamānām tām bharatah prāñjalis tadā, kausalyām pratyuvācedam śokair bahubhir āvrtām/ ārye kasmād ajānantam garhase mām akilbisam, vipulām ca mama prītim sthirām jānāsi rāghave/ kṛtā śāstrānugā buddhir mā bhūt tasya kadā cana, satyasamdhah satām śreṣṭho yasyāryo 'numate gataḥ/ praisyam pāpīyasām yātu sūryam ca prati mehatu, hantu pādena gām suptām vasvārvo 'numate gatah/ kāravitvā mahat karma bhartā bhrtvam anarthakam, adharmo vo 'sva so 'svās tu yasyāryo 'numate gatah/ paripālayamānasya rājño bhūtāni putravat, tatas tu druhyatām pāpam yasyāryo 'numate gataḥ/ baliṣaḍbhāgam uddhṛtya nṛpasyārakṣataḥ prajāḥ, adharmo yo 'sya so 'syāstu vasvārvo 'numate gatah/ saṃśrutva ca tapasvibhyah satre vai vaiñadaksinām, tām vipralapatām pāpam yasyāryo 'numate gatah/ hastyaśvarathasambādhe yuddhe śastrasamākule, mā sma kārsīt satām dharmam yasyāryo 'numate gatah/ upadistam susūksmārtham śāstram yatnena dhīmatā, sa nāśayatu dustātmā yasyāryo 'numate gatah/ pāyasam kṛsaram chāgam vṛthā so 'śnātu nirghṛnah, gurūm's cāpy avajānātu yasyāryo 'numate gatah/ putrair dāraiś ca bhrtyaiś ca svagrhe parivāritah, sa eko mrstam aśnātu yasyāryo 'numate gataḥ/ rājastrībālavrddhānām vadhe yat pāpam ucyate, bhṛtyatyāge ca yat pāpam tat pāpam pratipadyatām/ ubhe samdhye śayānasya yat pāpam parikalpyate, tac ca pāpam bhavet tasva vasvārvo 'numate gatah/ vad agnidāvake pāpam vat pāpam gurutalpage, mitradrohe ca vat pāpam tat pāpam pratipadyatām/ devatānām pitrīnām ca mātā pitros tathaiva ca, mā sma kārṣīt sa śuśrūṣām yasyāryo 'numate gataḥ/ satām lokāt satām kīrtyāḥ sajjuṣṭāt karmaṇas tathā, bhraśyatu kṣipram adyaiva vasyāryo 'numate gatah/ vihīnām patiputrābhyām kausalyām pārthivātmajah/ evam āśvasayann eva duhkhārto nipapāta ha/ tathā tu śapathaih kastaih śapamānam acetanam, bharatam śokasamtaptam kausalyā vākyam abravīt/ mama duḥkham idam putra bhūyah samupajāyate, śapathaiḥ śapamāno hi prānān uparunatsi me/ distvā na calito dharmād ātmā te sahalaksmanah, vatsa satvapratijño me satām lokān avāpsyasi/ evam vilapamānasya duḥkhārtasya mahātmanaḥ, mohāc ca śokasamrodhād babhūva lulitam manah/ lālapyamānasya vicetanasya; pranastabuddheh patitasya bhūmau, muhur muhur nihśvasataś ca dīrgham; sā tasya śokena jagāma rātrih/

Having recovered his senses still persisting with distress, Bharata having mercilessly shouted at his mother, he approached the Ministers and addressed them: Hon'ble Ministers! I shoud most emphatially assert that I am not interested in Kingship and I was never informed of this status before my arrival. I was totally blank about what my father conceded of my kingship, as I was away along with brother Shatrughna well before his sad demise.. I was also blank about when and why Rama Sita Lakshmanas were forced to leave for vana vaasa. As Devis Kousalya and Sumitras came to realise that they were conferring with the Ministers, Devi Sumitra was informed and conveyed to Devi Koushalya that the cruel Kaikeyis son Bharata had arrived. After addressing the Ministers, Bharata Shatrughnas approached Koushalya. Even from a distance, Koushaly felt unease and fell unconscious, Bharata ran and kept her on his lap; on recovery, she kept on crying and said: idam te rājyakāmasya rājyam prāptam akantakam, samprāptam bata kaikeyyā śīghram krūreņa karmaņā/prasthāpya cīravasanam putram me vanavāsinam, kaikeyī kam guṇam tatra paśyati krūradarśinī/ Dear son! You want the Kingdom only, is it not! Do have it by all means! Now, I fail to understand why Rama was banished for vana vaasa only wearing deer skins! May be Devi Kaikeyi is desirous of despatching me too after him. Or does she desire that along with Sumitra, I should surrender to flames so that she should be totally free from concerns!' Then Bharata repeatedly fell at Devi Kauslaya's feet again and again weepingly and held her hands entreatingly: arve kasmād ajānantam garhase mām akilbisam, vipulām ca mama prītim sthirām jānāsi rāghave/kṛtā śāstrānugā buddhir mā bhūt tasya kadā cana, satyasamdhah satām śrestho yasyāryo 'numate gatah/ praisyam pāpīyasām yātu sūryam ca prati mehatu, hantu pādena gām suptām yasyāryo 'numate gatah/ Revered mother! kindly trust me as to what all had happened on our return here. I am truly blameless and you ought to realise how supreme Rama is and how much I admire and love him with pride. May those responsible for subjecting this misery be made it known all over the world that they are sinners of the lowest levels as per established precepts of virtue and justice! May such degraded sinners at whose behest Rama was banished for vana vaasa be reborn as chandalas in the next birth as the lowest servants of the worst of chaturvarnas, like those who face Surya and resort to 'mala muutras' or kick off the sleeping cows. May that heinous person responsible for tormenting Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas be reborn as slaves of

those cruel masters who refuse to pay wages and even deprive of their daily bread. Akartaa chaakritag-t nascha tyaktaatmaa nirapannapah, loke bhavatu vidvashto yasyaaryonumate gatah/ That heinous human being responsible for despatching Rama for vana vaasa is despicable, ungrateful, rejected by the virtuous, shameless and worthy of public hatred. That desolate and wretched person would be such as should enjoy 'mrishtaanna' or highly tasty and rich food all alone without sharing with one's own children, servants, and let alone beggars! May such disgraceful and wicked person who has instructed Rama to be forcefully thrown out along with Dharmapatni and brother to wilderness with an early, lonely and distressed death. The monstrous and wicked sin in one's human life is stated as the killing of a glorious king, an outstanding woman of virtue, an aged and helpless woman and an honest servant of trust; may that miserable sin be applicable to that fallen person responsible for Rama's vana vasa. That loathsome villian responsible for Rama's vana vaasa be soon a beggar with torn and detestable clothes to hide the body - shame, loaf around the universe with shoutings of hunger and thirst!' As innumerable such curses were showered on 'THAT WOMAN HIS OWN MOTHER', Devi Koushalya was stilled and stunned and stated: mama duhkham idam putra bhūyah samupajāyate, śapathaih śapamāno hi prānān uparunatsi me/ distyā na calito dharmād ātmā te sahalaksmanah, vatsa satyapratijño me satām lokān avāpsyasi/ Dear son! Do kindly stop any more curses as each of those have had sinking feelings in me and my disgust for further living is ever palpitating in my sub-consciousness. I am however contented that son Lakshmana was never shaken from the precincts of Dharma. You too Kumara is of Satya Pratigina and should most certaily be rewarded all along your future life now and 'parama mukti' there after. Having stated likewise, Kousalya drew Bharata on her and embraced him. [Padma Purana is quoted: Shri Rama at the end of his 'avatara' or incarnation finally walked into the Sacred Sarayu River. Bharat, Shatrughna, and all the citizens of Ayodhya along with their wives, Mantris, Servants, Vedikas, Brahmanas, the nearby animals, birds, and so on accompanied Shri Rama who never looked back. As Shri Rama went deep into the River, Lord Brahma, Devas, Rishis and all Celestial Beings extolled Raghunatha even as He took the Huge Form of Maha Vishnu with his four hands along with Bharata as Shankha, Shatrughna as Chakra, and Laksmana as Gada with Sri Devi and Bhu Devi beside Him.]

Sarga Seventy Six

Raja Dasharatha's 'antyeshthi' / 'dahana samskaara'

Tam evam śokasamtaptam bharatam kekayīsutam, uvāca vadatām śrestho vasisthah śresthavāg rsih/ alam śokena bhadram te rājaputra mahāyaśah, prāptakālam narapateh kuru samyānam uttaram/ vasisthasya vacah śrutvā bharato dhāranām gatah, pretakāryāni sarvāni kārayām āsa dharmavit/ uddhṛtam tailasamkledāt sa tu bhūmau niveśitam, āpītavarnavadanam prasuptam iva bhūmipam/ niveśya śayane cāgrye nānāratnapariṣkṛte, tato daśaratham putro vilalāpa suduhkhitah/ kim te vyavasitam rājan proṣite mayy anāgate, vivāsya rāmam dharmajñam laksmanam ca mahābalam/ kva yāsyasi mahārāja hitvemam duhkhitam janam, hīnam purusasimhena rāmenāklistakarmanā/ yogaksemam tu te rājan ko 'smin kalpayitā pure, tvavi pravāte svas tāta rāme ca vanam āśrite/ vidhavā prthivī rājams tvavā hīnā na rājate, hīnacandreva rajanī nagarī pratibhāti mām/Vidhava prithvi rajasatvayaa heenaa na raajate, heena chandreva rajani nagaree pratibhati maam/ evam vilapamānam tam bharatam dīnamānasam, abravīd vacanam bhūyo vasisthas tu mahān rsih/ pretakāryāni yāny asya kartavyāni viśāmpateh, tāny avyagram mahābāho krivatām avicāritam/ tatheti bharato vākyam vasisthasyābhipūjya tat,rtvikpurohitācāryāms tvarayām āsa sarvaśaḥ/ ye tv agrato narendrasya agny agārād bahiṣkṛtāḥ, ṛtvigbhir yājakaiś caiva te hriyante yathāvidhi/ śibilāyām athāropya rājānam gatacetanam, bāspakanthā vimanasas tam ūhuh paricārakāh/ hiraṇyam ca suvarṇam ca vāsāmsi vividhāni ca, prakiranto janā mārgam nṛpater agrato yayuḥ/ candanāguruniryāsān saralam padmakam tathā, devadārūṇi cāḥṛtya citām cakrus tathāpare/ gandhān uccāvacāms cānyāms tatra dattvātha bhūmipam, tatah samvesayām āsus citāmadhye tam rtvijah/ tathā hutāśanam hutvā jepus tasya tadartvijah, jaguś ca te yathāśāstram tatra sāmāni sāmagāh/ śibikābhiś ca yānaiś ca yathārham tasya yoṣitaḥ, nagarān niryayus tatra yrddhaiḥ pariyṛtās tadā/ prasavvam cāpi tam cakrur rtvijo 'gnicitam nrpam, strivas ca sokasamtaptāh kausalvā pramukhās tadā/

krauñcīnām iva nārīṇām ninādas tatra śuśruve, ārtānām karuṇam kāle krośantīnām sahasraśaḥ/ tato rudantyo vivaśā vilapya ca punaḥ punaḥ, yānebhyaḥ sarayūtīram avaterur varāṅganāḥ/ krtodakam te bharatena sārdham; nrpāṅganā mantripurohitāś ca, puram praviśyāśruparītanetrā; bhūmau daśāham vyanayanta duḥkham/

As Bharata was in grievous distress, Maharshi Vasishtha approached Bharata to face the situation with fortitude as he should now perform his duty of 'Pitru Antyoshthi Karma' and the 'Dahana Samskara' of the King Dasharatha. Then the Ministers also initiated the task, Bharata approached the body preservd in oil, prostrated dutifully thrice and initiated the task. As the body was lifted from the oil the face of the body looked very pale; then the body was washed and was placed on a bed decorated with precious stones. Bharata got heart broken and cried stating: Maha Raja! you could not even wait for my arrival as I was away for a while, but having sent off Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas for vana vaasa, you hurried up to attain swarga! As you had left off peacefully, what did you think that in the absence of Rama about the fate of this kingdom! Maha Raja! Vidhava prithvi rajasatvayaa heenaa na raajate, heena chandreva rajani nagaree pratibhati maam/ Without you the kingdom is widowed and your sons are paled off like the .moonless night of their lives. As Brarata was crying away thus, Maharshi Vasishtha mildly alerted Bharata that he should recover himself at once and take up the duty faithfully with reseilence, courage and with absolute peace of mind dutifully. Even as the Ritviks, Acharyas and Maharshis were hurrying up, the body was shifted to a 'palki' accordingly and taken to the crematorium as accompanied by Ministers, officials, reenowned public figures, and servants, was placed on earth facing 'Agni Jwalaas' and the 'havan' was initiated. Some were decorating the body with chandana and sugandhas, guggulaas and while the high volume recitations of the 'vedic mantras' the body was dedicated to the high flames emerging from the wooden sticks of devadaaru-sarala- padmaka tree branches. Then the Ritvikas were rendering Saama Veda Shritis. It was at that time Queens Koushalya, Sumitra and Kaikeyi followed Bharata the main Karta made pradakshinas weepingly and finally fell down to earth with 'saashtaanga pranaamaas'. Ritvijas with Masishtha Muni in the lead too recited the relevant Mantras. Consequent on the 'Daaha Karma', Bhrarata, the Queens, Ministers, Purohitas, and the entire Public carried the 'savaaris' or the ashes to the banks of the Sacred River Sarayu for 'jalaanjali' tarpanas.

[Vishleshanas fromTaittireeya Aranyaka: The departed 'jeevatma' discarding life behind is accompanied by Lord Yama- departed Soul-Pushan- Sayavari / cow- widow-and Agni

i) Yama: Pareyivaasam pravato maheeranu, bahubhyah panthaam anupaspashaanam, Vaivasvatam sangamanam janaanaam, Yamam Rajanam havishaa duvasya/ May King Yama the son of Surya Deva/ Vivasvaan, be worshipped as he is followed by His relatives and admirers of the departed; Yama has travelled far from the heights beyond and taken to the perfect destination without disturbing any one else. The Stanza is from Rig Veda 10-14.1.)

The departed jeeva: Idam tvaa vastram prathama nvaagan/ Apaitaduuha yadihaabibhah puraa, ishtaapurtamanusampashya dakshinaam yathaa te dattam bahudhaa vi bandhushu/ Imoau yunajmi te vahnee asuneeyaaya odhave, yaabhyaam Yamasya saadanam, sukrutaam chaapi gacchataat/ May the departed one arrive here with new ideas and forget the erstwhile impulses and memories, recalling however the erstwhile actions some of which might have satisfied the conscience such as the acts of dakshinas to brahmanas vis a vis the wealth given by the kinsmen. May the departed one be yoked by two oxen to carry the body dear so far as the life and these oxen reach the abode of Lord Yama or alternatively to other abodes in case that It had done 'satkarmas' earning virtue outweighing the deeds of vice. Pushaa tvetah chyaavayantu pra vidvaan, anashthapashuh bhuvanasya gopaah, sa tvaitebhyah pari dadat pitrubhyo, agnirdevebhyah suvidanniyebhyah/ Pushemaa aashaa anu veda sarvaah, so asmam abhiyatamena neshat, svastidaa aaghrunih sarvaveero, aprayucchan pura etu prajaanan/ Aayuh

vishvaayuh pari pasati tvaa pusha, tvaa paatu prapathe purastaat, yatraaste sukruto, yatra te yayuh, tatratvaa devah Savitaa dadhaatu/ Bhuvanasya pat idam havih, agnaye rayimate svaaha/ May Pushan the omniscient escort the depated Soul to another world as His rays never fail to procect all the Beings and reach them to Pitru Loka and may Agni Deva reach the concerned Devas further on. Indeed Pushan is totally conversant with all the Lokas successively as He is aware the ways and means of leading the jeevaatma to safety free from perils. The post life of departed mortals is well realised by Pushan and hence lead them upto the halts en route. As the Souls which may have done well with the earnings of 'punya', the celestial Savitur would place them well in advance and accordingly lead these with care. Hence, Paramatma! may this offering of the body remains engulf by Agni Deva ultimately! The stanzas v-vii are repeats of Rigveda Mantras of 10.17.3-5-4 respectively.

Sayaavari / Cow to cleanse the sins of the departed: Purushasya sayaavarayapedaanim mujahhe, yadhaam no atra naaparah puraa jarasa aayaati/ Purushasya sayaavari vi te simnaam praanaam, shareerena maheemahim, svadahyehi pitrunup, prajayaasmaanihavaha/ Maivam maamstaa priyeham Devee satee pitrulokam yadaishi, Vishvavaaraa nabhasaa samvayantgee, tasyah porajaam dravinam cheha dhehi/ Sayavari is the cow which was stated dear to the departed person brought to the place of cremation as the symbol of all Devas. Thus, the Sayavari the symbol of Devas! Kindly remove the sins of the departed. As the departed one has loosened all his / her energies, may the Savavari enter the planes of the firmament and lead the way to Pitru Loka. May you also provide your milk to the departed one en route and at the destination as you have access to all the lokas. (Garuda Purana vide Chapter 30: 41-42 and 52-53 are quoted: 'Tarkshya Deva! Any Being on Earth or Pancha Bhutas or the entirety of Creation is Vishnu. Hence whosoever performs a' karma' or action, the fruit of that action is Vishnu too; thus a person when performs an act, good or otherwise, Vishnu decides the fruit of that action. At the end of the journey of a human- as in other cases too-River Vaitarani is commended as its waters would purify the sins made by the departed one- during the 'kaumara-youvana-vaardhakya- janma janmaantara' as also during 'raatri- praatah- madhyaahna-aparaahna' and both the sandhyas too. The singular solution is hence the charity of a 'kapila gomaata' to a well deserved Brahmana. The following is the verse to be recited at the time of Godaana: Gaavo mamaagratah santu gavaam madhye vahaamyaham/ Yaa Lakshmeeh sarvabhutaanaam yaa cha Deve vyavasthitaa, dhenu rupenasya Devee mama paapam vyapohatu/ Cow alone is ahead of me- the departed Soul, behind me as my support, my sides too; cow is in my heart and I am on the midst of cows. May the Lakshmi Svarupa-Sarva Bhuta Svarupa-Sarva Deva Svarupa- as the symbol of a Cow, deatroy my sins instatly with this Go- Mata! Guruda Purana sums up: those who are destined to go to heaven are supposed to grab the tail of a cow that appears on the banks of the river Vaitarna to be led safely across to the ethereal shores of Vaikuntha)

Tributes to Agni Deva for the final offer of the dead body: Imamagne chamasam vaa vi jighvarah, priyo devaanaamuta soumyaanaam, esha yashchaamaso deva paanah, tasmin Devaa amritaa maadayante/Agnervarma pari gobhirvyayasva, sam prornushva medasaa peevasaacha, net tvaa, ghrushnurharasaa jarshyashaano, dadhat vidhakkshyan, paryangyaate/Mainamagne vi daho, maabhi shoucho maasya tvacham chikshipo maa shareeram, yadaa shrutam karavi Jaatavedo,athemainam prahinutaan pitrubhyah/Shrutam yadaa karasi Jaatavedo athemenam pari dattaat pitrubhyah, yadaa gacchantyaasuneetimetaam, athaam Devaanaam vashaneerbhavaati/Suryam chakshurgacchatu vaatamaatmaa, dyocha gaccha prithiveem cha dharmanaa, apo vaa gaccha yaditram te hitam, oushadheeshu pratrim tishthaa shareerereh/Ajobhaagastapasaa tam tapasva, tam te shochishpatu tam te archih, yaaste shavaastanuvo jaatavedah, taabhirvahemam sukrutaam yatram lokaah/Ayam vai

tamasmaadadhi, tvametadayam vai tadasya yonirasi Vaishvaanarah, putrah pitre loka krut, Jaatavedo vahemam sukrutaam yatram lokaah/ Agni Deva! please do not hurl or shake this dead body; it is dear to Devas as wells as to mortals; the former seek to enjoy the pleasure of the Soma juice and this vessel is the drink of Devas and the latter who are immortal take pleasure in the Soma; this stanza is a repeat of Rig Veda 10-16-8. The next stanza is a repeat of Rig Veda's previous stanza 10-16-7 addresses the dead body: you are enclosed with the 'kavacha' or the shield of Agni Deva who is merely turning only your body parts to ashes but not your true self whish indeed is everlasting. Hence Agni is merelt clearing the mess of your body! Agni Deva! you may consume the deadbody along with his heart, pancha koshas or Five Sheaths of the body called Annamaya (Physical Energy), Praanamaya (Vital Energy), Manomaya (Mental Faculty), Vigyanamaya (Buddhi or Sharpness of Discrimination) and Ananda maya (Bliss) only but thereafter kindly despatch the 'Jeevatma'- Inner Being- safely to the Loka of His forefathers the Pitru Loka. Agni Deva, when you render the jeevatma fully rid of the memories of the erstwhile life, then That becomes rendered fit with a fresh form subject to the will of Devas. Preta swarupa! Let your vision see Surya Deva, your breath to Vayu Deva! As per your destiny and the fund of your 'sukrita phala', you may reach swarga, or back to earth or waters. In case you are destined to return as vegetation, then you shall do precisely the same swarupa once again.- Rig Veda 10-16.-3. Referring to the stanza: Suryam chakshurgacchatu vaatamaatmaa, dyocha gaccha prithiveem cha dharmanaa, apo vaa gaccha yaditram te hitam, oushadheeshu pratrim tishthaa shareerereh/ as explained, Chhandogya Upanishad 5.10.6 explains: Abhram bhutwaa megho bhavati megho bhutwaa pravarshati taiha veehiyavaa oshadhiyanaspatyah tila-maasha iti jaayant, ato yai khalu durnispra pataram, yo yohyannam atti yo retaah sinchati, tad bhuya eva bhavati/(In the further travel of the Soul from white clouds to thick black clouds to rains, the same is born as paddy, barley, herbs, sesmum, black pulses and so on. Now, the release of the concerned paddy or pulse is also destined as per the time of its release from the shell to kernel; similarly the cycle of food intake from an insect to a bird or to a reptile to an animal or human being is destined likewise). The next stanzas 6.1.22 -23: Ajobhaaga stapasa tam tapasva-- and Ayam vai tvamsmaadabhi/ are as addressed to Jaataveda: 'Agni Deva! having burnt off the body totally, may the physical aspects of the human being been burnt off totally, may the subtle body as the Jeevatma be carried to the wide world of the Devas of virtue; then there is hardly any difference of Vaishvanara and Jeevatma, especially after passing through the layers that the latter passes through! 6.2.1-3: On the path above after death, the jeeva is protected by three kinds of Devas besides Agni Deva; Ya etasya patho goptaarastebhyah svaaha, ya etasya patho rakshitaarah; tebhyrarasvaahaa, ya etasya pathorakshitaarastebhyah svaaha, Khyatre svaaha Apakhyaatre svaahaa, Abhilaalapate svaahaa Abhilaalapate svaahaa, Apalaalapate svaahaagnaye karmakrite svaaha Yamatra naadheemastasmai svaah/ Yasta idmam jabharat, slshvidaano muurdhaanam vaa tatpate tvaayaa, Divo vishvasmaat seemaghaayata uruushyah/ Asmaatvamadhi jaatosi,tvadayam jaayataam punah, Agnaye Vishvaanaraaya suvargaaya lokaaya svaaha/ May the jeeva on the ascent to high skies be protected by this Agjna karma three Devas viz. Goptaarah, Rashitaarah and Abhirakshitaata. May also this offering be received to Khyaata who disclosed this secret as also to Apakhyaata who refrains from disclosing the information. May also this offering to Deva Abhilaalapat who commends the deeds of virtue of the Jeevatma that performed in the just concluded mortal life and what is more, may Apalaapad Deva not to divulge the deeds of vice with great refrain. Above all, this offering be made to Agni Deva Himself in case any other Deities of help have not been addressed by default. Agni Deva! you are indeed the unique help in reaching our oblations to all the concerned deities including those who have not been addressed! May the passage of the 'pretaatma' to the respective destinations be free from all types of visissitudes. Agni Deva, you have had the background of

birth of the antaratma of the departed person irrespective of the dead person's pluses and minuses of concluded life. That is the supplication to you to assist the pretatma to a helpful rebirth. May the offering be received by Vaishvanara Agni in the upper worlds! The journey of the departed from Agni to the dogs of Yama to Pitru Loka to Surya: Pra ketunaam brihataa yatyaagnih, aarodasee vrishabho roraveeti, divaaschidantaam upamaam udaanat, apaamapasthek mahisho vavardha/ Idam ta ekam, para vuu ta ekam, truteeyena jyotishaa sam vishasva, samveshane tanvaschaarudhi priyo, Devaanaam parame sadhasthe/ Naake suparnamupa yat patantam, hridaa venanto abhyachakshat tvaa, hiranyapaksham varunasyadootam, yamasya yonou shakunam bhuranyanyum/ Ati drava saarameyou shvaanou, chaturakshou shabaliu, saadhunaa pathaa, athaam pitruun suvidatraam upehi, Yamena ye sadhamaadam madanti/ You te shvaanou Yama rakshitaarou, chaturakshou pathirakshee nruchakshasou taabhyaam raajan paridehi enam, svasti chaasmaa anmeevam cha dhehi/ Urunasou asutrupaa udumbalou Yamasya dootao charato janaam anu, taavasmabhyam drishaye suryaaya, punardaataam asum adyaha bhadram/ Soma aikebhyah payate, dhrutameka upaasate yebhyo madhi pradhaayati, taan chit eyaapim gacchhataat/ Ye yudhyante pradhaneshu shuuraamso ye tanuutyajah, ye vaa sahasra dakshinaah, taan chit evaapim gacchataat/ Tapasaa ye anaadhrushyaah, tapasaa ye svaryayuh, tapo ye chakrire mahah, taamschadevaapi gacchataat/ Ashmanvatee Revati, sam rabhadvam, uttishthath pra tarataa sakhaayah, atraam jahaama ye asannashevaah, Shivaan vayam urtteeram abhi vaajaan/ Yadvai Devasya Savituh pavitram, sahasra -dhaaram vitatamantarikshe, yenaapunaat Indram anaatar maartyah, tenaaham maamsarvatanum punaami/ Yaa raashtraatpannaadapayanti shaakhaam abhimrutaa nrupatimicchamaanaah, dhaatustaaya sarvaah pavanena puutaah, prajamaasmaantrayyaa varchasaa saamsrujaaya/ Utvayam tamasah pari, jyotih pashyant uta taram, Devam devatraa, Suryam agamna jyotih ut tamam/ Dhataa punaatu Savitaa punaatu agnestejasaa Suryasya varchasaa / Agni Deva in the form of thick smoke flies high from bhumi to dyuloka with his flag assumed the form of a bull with roar; even as He enters the dyuloka with the assistance of Jala Deva assumes the form of lightningsThis stanza is the same as Rig Veda vide 10-8-1. Rig Veda 10.56.1denotes that this Praani is the food of Mrityu; Its basic form was of Agni, then that of Vayu the Deity of Wind and finally of Jyoti Tatva or of Atma Tatva. 'Meet this Soul and provide him 'tejasvi rupa' or of effulgence and get It divinity! The Third stanza is taken from Rigveda 10.121.6 meaning: This scene would be visible as that of a high flying bird Varuna in syarga loka and it is this bird which gets nourished in Yama Loka. But the departed Atma, if saved from Yama's dogs called Shaarameya which are four eyed and could change their appearance in multi colours, could then proceed to join the virtuous Pitru Loka. These Sharameya dogs both are actually are the dogs of intuition and are the gaurdians protecting the Atma on the way up towards the Deva Yaana the divine path with their divine vision. Thus the departed human beings are hunted or helped too by the 'Yama dootas'; Rig Veda vide10.14.12 the messengers of Lord Yama are broad nosed and of extraordinary physical strength and mental energy. Once satisfied by the swing of balance of the departed soul's karma, the fierce dogs sober down and save from any evil forces on the right path. May these divine dogs guide the 'pretaatma' to reach the Land of Bliss and grant him relief from the sorrowful earth of 'arishdvargas' or the six principal evils of existence so that the Soul could look upon the Surya Deva with contentment and Joy! The seventh stanza referring to the Pitru Loka where Soma Juice flows is a repeat of Rig Veda 10.154.1; the meaning is 'Pretatma! Pitru Loka is the celestial place where Pitru Devas rejoice flows of Soma Juice and 'ghritaahutis' or the offerings of ghee while meditating on Surya Deva and that is why there is a rush for the honey of delight who are in the know and practice of Madhu Vidya. Rig Veda 1.90.6-8 explains about Madhu Vidya: Madhu vaataa rutaayate madhu ksharanti sindhavah maadhveernah snatoshadheeh/ Madhunaktamutoshaso madhumatpaarthivam rajah, madhu

dyourastu nah pitaa/ Madhumaanno vanaspatirmadhumaam astu Suryah maadhveergaavo bhavantu nah/ Sham no Mitrah sham Varunah sham no bhavatvaryamaa, sham na Indro Brihaspatih, sham no Vishnu-rurukramah/ May the practitioners of Yagjna Karyaas be endowed with Vaayu pravaaha rivers of sweetness as also all types of heathy herbals of pleasures. May like pitru devataas bestow divine juices of sweetness while the Maatru Varga Devatas too bless us with earthly juices of outstanding taste thus reaping the sweetness of 'Iham and Param' or on earth and thereafter! May all kinds of Vanaspatis grant us pleasures while Surya Deva with His 'tejasvi kiranas' or radiant rays shower happiness while the nights and 'usha kaala' ensure our joys always thus so that the herds of cows too yield sweet milk to us. May Mitra Deva, 'Nyaaya Pradaata' Aryama Deva, 'Aishvaryavaan' Indra Deva, 'Vaani Swaami' Brihaspati, and the Singular Universal Vishnu Bhagavan bless us all round auspiciousness!]

Sarga Seventy Seven

Bharatha performs Dashartha's 'shraaddha karma' and 'maha daanaas'- collection of ashes and 'nimajjana'- 'daaha samskaara'

Tato daśāhe 'tigate kṛtaśauco nṛpātmajaḥ, dvādaśe 'hani samprāpte śrāddhakarmāṇy akārayat/ brāhmaņebhyo dadau ratnam dhanam annam ca puşkalam, bāstikam bahuśuklam ca gāś cāpi śataśas tathā/dāsīdāsam ca yānam ca veśmāni sumahānti ca, brāhmaņebhyo dadau putro rājñas tasyaurdhvadaihikam/ tatah prabhātasamaye divase 'tha trayodase, vilalāpa mahābāhur bharatah śokamūrchitah/ śabdāpihitakanthaś ca śodhanārtham upāgatah, citāmūle pitur vākvam idam āha suduḥkhitaḥ/ tāta yasmin niṣṛṣṭo 'haṁ tvayā bhrātari rāghave, tasmin vanaṁ pravrajite śūnye tyakto smy aham tvayā/ yathāgatir anāthāyāḥ putraḥ pravrājito vanam, tām ambām tāta kausalyām tyaktvā' tvam kva gato nrpa/ drstvā bhasmārunam tac ca dagdhāsthisthānamandalam, pituh śarīra nirvānam nistanan visasāda ha/ sa tu dṛstvā rudan dīnah papāta dharanītale, utthāpyamānah śakrasya yantra dhyaja iya cyutah/ abhipetus tatah sarve tasyāmātyāh śuciyratam, antakāle nipatitam yayātim rsayo yathā/ śatrughnaś cāpi bharatam dṛṣṭvā śokapariplutam, visamjño nyapatad bhūmau bhūmipālam anusmaran/ unmatta iva niścetā vilalāpa suduḥkhitaḥ,smṛtvā pitur guṇāṅgāni tāni tāni tadā tadā/ mantharā prabhavas tīvraḥ kaikeyīgrāhasamkulaḥ, varadānamayo 'kṣobhyo 'majjayac chokasāgaraḥ/ sukumāram ca bālam ca satatam lālitam tvayā, kva tāta bharatam hitvā vilapantam gato bhavān/ nanu bhojyesu pānesu vastresv ābharanesu ca, pravārayasi nah sarvāms tan nah ko 'dya karisyati/ avadārana kāle tu pṛthivī nāvadīryate, vihīnā yā tvayā rājñā dharmajñena mahātmanā/ pitari svargam āpanne rāme cāranyam āśrite, kim me jīvita sāmarthyam praveksyāmi hutāśanam/ hīno bhrātrā ca pitrā ca śūnyām ikṣvākupālitām, ayodhyām na pravekṣyāmi pravekṣyāmi tapovanam/ tayor vilapitam śrutvā vyasanam cānvaveksva tat, bhrśam ārtatarā bhūvah sarva evānugāminah/ tato visannau śrāntau ca śatrughna bharatāv ubhau, dharanyām samvyacestetām bhagnasrngāv ivarsabhau/ tataḥ prakrtimān vaidyaḥ pitur eṣām purohitaḥ, vasiṣṭho bharatam vākyam utthāpya tam uvāca ha/trīṇi dvandvāni bhūteṣu pravṛttāny aviśesatah, tesu cāparihāryesu naivam bhavitum arhati/ sumantraś cāpi śatrughnam utthāpyābhiprasādya ca, śrāvayām āsa tattvajñah sarvabhūtabhavābhavau/ utthitau tau naravyāghrau prakāśete yaśasvinau, varṣātapapariklinnau pṛthag indradhvajāv iva/ aśrūṇi parimṛdnantau raktākṣau dīnabhāṣiṇau, amātyās tvarayanti sma tanayau cāparāḥ kriyāḥ/

After performing 'dashaaha', on the eleventh day Braratha after 'atmashudhi' performed ekaadashaah shraaddha followed by 'prathama maasika sapindeekarana shraaddha'. The Pitru and Deva Brahmanas were amply rewarded after 'bhojana tripti', several danaas of dhana-ratna-vastra- suvarna-dhenus to the full contenment of the brahmanas.

<u>[Visleshana on Shraddhhas:</u> The Brahmanas to be appointed as 'bhoktas' are to be well versed in Veda Vedangas, well behaved, healthy with no physical disabilities, coming of good family background,

infallible, and trained well in performing Parvana shraddha and /or ekoddishta as well. Such ideal bhoktas be invited in advance by the Karta or his brother or son or disciple. The 'nimantrana' or invitation should be done with 'Apasavya' of 'yagnopayeeta' in respect of 'Pitru sthaana bhokta' and 'savya' position to Vaishwanara bhokta. The prescribed number of Pitru Sthana and Vaishwadeva Sthaana is three and four but as per Desha-Kaala-Parishithis or convenience and availability a minimum of one each would be a must. Vaishwa Deva Brahmanas are to be seated Purva Mukha or east facing and Pitru Deva brahmanas are Uttara mukha or facing north. The respective Brahmanas of Pitru and Vaishwadevas are not mingled nor even touch each others. Vishwedevas are stated to be ten in number: Kraturdaksho Vasuh Satyah Kaalah Kaamasthaivacha, Dhunischa Rochanaiva tathaa chaiva Pururavaah/ Ardraaascha darshete tu Vishwadavaah prakourtitaah/ (Kratu, Daksha, Vasu, Satya, Kaala, Kaama, Dhuri, Vilochana, Pururava and Ardrava are the Vaishwadevas). In the present context, two 'Arghya patras' or water vessel with 'gandha-akshata-darbhas' are placed at the seat of of the Vishwa Devas and are to be handed over with reverence to the representative Brahmanas and perform a pradakshibna around him. The arghya paatras / vessels could be of bronze or copper or palaasha leaves. Similarly at the Pitru sthaana Brahmana too has to be circubambulated but in an 'apradikshina' manner or the reverse manner changing the vaignopayeeta in the 'praachhenaaveeti' manner. All the tasks concerning the puja of the Brahamana representing Pitru Devatas need to be done including that of his puja with black tila to be ornamented on his head downward to his feet, while puja to similarly be done to the Vaishwe deva with akshata white rice grains from head to feet. After puja to both the Viashwanara and Pitru Devata representative- Brahmanas with gandhapushpa-dhupa- deepas, the next task would be Agnoukarana with the concurrence of the Brahmanas. This task is to make two homas after keeping Agni in the homa kunda twice reciting: Saannidhyamupaasa Somaaya pitru matey Sadhaanamah/ Agnaye kavyavaahanaaya swahaananamah/ These homa kriyas need to be performed as of Pitru yagna vidhaana homa and since Pindapitru yagna is of two fold nature of Daivikatwa and Paitrukatwa the yagopaveeta might either be in Savya or Apasavya manners as per one's own shakha manner. In any case, the remaining 'anna' needs to be disposed off in Agni itself and no remainder of it be retained. The next step is Pariveshana or purification of the cooked bhojana or bhakshya-bhojya-shaaka-soopanaadi padarthas with right hand wearing darbha followed by 'ghritaabhikarana, then holding the right hand thumbs of the Brahmanas representing the Vaishwa Deva and Pitru Devas of three generations with naama-gotras, taking care of sayya-praacheenaaveti precautions, showing them around the padarhas placed in circles – in savya or apasavya manner respectively- and request them to commence the bhojana after performing 'Aaposhana' making the bhoktas feel completely comfortable discarding what ever they do not like. The karta would address the bhokas saying: Anna heenam kriyaaheenam mantra heenam yadbhavet, Sarvamacchidramiyutkaa tato yatnena bhojayet/ Even as the bhojana starts, there should be Swaadhyaaya: Swaadhyaayam shraavayet Pitrye Dharma shastraani chaiya hi/ Anna Suktaadi Shrayana is to be taken up during the Bhojana kaala. Also before the bhojana itself, the remainder of anna at Agnoukarana is to be placed as three small pindas along with ghee and tilas. After the bhojana follow the tasks of Sapindeekarana and Pinda pradana-puja karmas. As regards, 'Madhyama Pinda viniyoga Vidhana' or the matter related to be disposal of the middle pinda of the three pindas, it is customary that the wife of the Kartha if childless receives it with reverence in her hold with both palms from her husband as the Mantra is recited: Apaamtvoushashadho naagum rasam praashayaami bhutakrutam garbham dhatswa/ As the house wife eats the Madhya Pinda, the Mantra is to be recited: Adhatta Pitaro garbhamanta santaana vardhanam/ Manu states: Pativrataa dharma patnou pitrupujamnatparaa, Madhumantu tatah pindamadhyaatsamyak sutaarthinou/ Ayushmantam sutam vindet yasho medhaa samanvitam, Dhanavantam prajaavantam dhaarmikam

saatwikam tathaa, iti/ In the event of wife not consuming the Madhyama Pinda, or even otherwise, the Tri Pindas be eaten by a Brahmana, or Agnihotra or cow or running water. In case a Karta cannot perform Parvana Shraddha for any reason of inability due to any reason he could perform the same as Sankalpa Shraddha .Source: Parashara Smriti]

There after on the thirteenth day of the agni samskaara, śabdāpihitakaṇṭhaś ca śodhanārtham upāgataḥ, citāmūle pitur vākyam idam āha suduḥkhitah/ tāta yasmin nisṛṣṭo 'ham tvayā bhrātari rāghave, tasmin vanam pravrajite śūnye tyakto 'smy aham tvayā/Bharata broke down and cried aloud stating: 'My dear father! You have entrusted this hard task of king ship to me after sending off my elder of incamparable virtue and capability. Why had you decided and despatched Rama the only source of strength to Devi Kousalya!' On seeing the place of where the father's body ashes was visualised, he recalled his memories and wept again: you had put mother Kuashalya with such heavy load of distress on her and me!' As Bharata kept on crying again and again, Shatrughma followed suit. Then they kept on recalling their memories and suddenly went in rage and said: mantharā prabhavas tīvrah kaikevīgrāhasamkulah, varadānamayo 'ksobhyo 'majjayac chokasāgarah/ How indeed this vily and wretched woman Mandhara had entered the scene and ruined the psyche of Kaikeyi which led to all these diasters in a chain and threw us all midstream in the irrevocaable ocean of misery! Father! You are unforgettable as you had always ensured our comforts of food-drink-dress-and jewellery; now who would replace you! pitari svargam āpanne rāme cāraṇyam āśrite, kim me jīvita sāmarthyam pravekṣyāmi hutāśanam/ hīno bhrātrā ca pitrā ca śūnyām iksvākupālitām, ayodhyām na praveksyāmi praveksyāmi tapovanam/ Dear father had gone to heaven and Shri Rama had left us too without support; where is our stamina now and help; our recourse is to jump into fire; or else the other alternative is to enter tapovanas like 'taapasis'. And our considered resolve is now to leave the glorious Ayodhya which was the cynosure kingdom ruled by the generation of Ikshvaaku.' As Bharata Shatrughnas were swept away by the forceful tides of the ovean of sorrow, Maharshi Vishvamitra intervened: trīņi dvandvāni bhūteşu pravṛttāny aviśeṣataḥ, teṣu cāparihāryeṣu naivam bhavitum arhati/ Bharata! There are three inevitable characteristics of mankind viz. hunger and thirst- sorrow and infatuation and old age and death. Being fully aware of these it is unnatural that bursting out wastefully to a person of self restraint is rather childish of immaturity'. As Maharshi Visishtha mildly reproached Bharata Shatrugnas wiped off their tears and got engaged with other urgent actions to be attended to.

Sarga Seventy Eight

Shatrugna attacks the villainess Kubja, the servant maid of Kaikeyi, to senselessness and spares her death!

Atra yātrām samīhantam śatrughno lakṣmaṇānujaḥ, bharatam śokasamtaptam idam vacanam abravīt/ gatir yaḥ sarvabhūtānām duḥkhe kim punar ātmana, sa rāmaḥ sattva sampannaḥ striyā pravrājito vanam/ balavān vīrya sampanno lakṣmaṇo nāma yo 'py asau, kim na mocayate rāmam kṛtvāpi pitṛnigraham/ pūrvam eva tu nigrāhyaḥ samavekṣya nayānayau, utpatham yaḥ samārūḍho nāryā rājā vaśam gataḥ/ iti sambhāṣamāṇe tu śatrughne lakṣmaṇānuje, prāgdvāre 'bhūt tadā kubjā sarvābharaṇa -bhūṣitā/ liptā candanasāreṇa rājavastrāṇi bibhratī, mekhalā dāmabhiś citrai rajjubaddheva vānarī/ tām samīkṣya tadā dvāḥstho bhṛśam pāpasya kāriṇīm, gṛhītvākaruṇam kubjām śatrughnāya nyavedayat/ yasyāḥ kṛte vane rāmo nyastadehaś ca vaḥ pitā, seyam pāpā nṛśamsā ca tasyāḥ kuru yathāmati/ śatrughnaś ca tad ājñāya vacanam bhṛśaduḥkhitaḥ, antaḥpuracarān sarvān ity uvāca dhṛtavrataḥ/ tīvram utpāditam duḥkham bhrātṛṇām me tathā pituḥ, yayā seyam nṛśamsasya karmaṇaḥ phalam aśnutām/ evam uktā ca tenāśu sakhī janasamāvṛtā, gṛhītā balavat kubjā sā tadgṛham anādayat/ tataḥ subhṛśa samtaptas tasyāḥ sarvaḥ sakhījanaḥ, kruddham ājñāya śatrughnam vyapalāyata sarvaśaḥ/

amantrayata kṛtsnaś ca tasyāḥ sarvasakhījanaḥ, yathāyam samupakrānto niḥśeṣam naḥ kariṣyati/
sānukrośām vadānyām ca dharmajñām ca yaśasvinīm, kausalyām śaraṇam yāmaḥ sā hi no 'stu dhruvā
gatiḥ/ sa ca roṣeṇa tāmrākṣaḥ śatrughnaḥ śatrutāpanaḥ, vicakarṣa tadā kubjām krośantīm pṛthivītale/
tasyā hy ākṛṣyamāṇāyā mantharāyās tatas tataḥ, citram bahuvidham bhāṇḍam pṛthivyām tad vyaśīryata/
tena bhāṇḍena samkīrṇam śrīmadrājaniveśanam, aśobhata tadā bhūyaḥ śāradam gaganam yathā/ sa balī
balavat krodhād gṛhītvā puruṣarṣabhaḥ, kaikeyīm abhinirbhartsya babhāṣe paruṣam vacaḥ/ tair vākyaiḥ
paruṣair duḥkhaiḥ kaikeyī bhṛśaduḥkhitā, śatrughna bhayasamtrastā putram śaraṇam āgatā/ tām prekṣya
bharataḥ kruddham śatrughnam idam abravīt, avadhyāḥ sarvabhūtānām pramadāḥ kṣamyatām iti/
hanyām aham imām pāpām kaikeyīm duṣṭacāriṇīm, yadi mām dhārmiko rāmo nāsūyen mātṛghātakam/
imām api hatām kubjām yadi jānāti rāghavaḥ, tvām ca mām caiva dharmātmā nābhibhāṣiṣyate dhruvam/
bharatasya vacaḥ śrutvā śatrughno lakṣmaṇānujaḥ, nyavartata tato roṣāt tām mumoca ca mantharām/ sā
pādamūle kaikeyyā mantharā nipapāta ha, niḥśvasantī suduḥkhārtā kṛpaṇam vilalāpa ca/
śatrughnavikṣepavimūḍhasamjñām; samīkṣya kubjām bharatasya mātā, śanaiḥ samāśvāsayad
ārtarūpām; krauñcīm vilagnām iva vīkṣamāṇām/

As the duties of the thirteenth day were concluded, Sharughna approached Bharata cryingly and said: How horrible was this that Rama who was not only in respect of family persons but to entire society was equally considerate and that ideal most person was humiliated and thrown out for long forest life! And this tragedy had happened due to one woman; 'is this not a slander of the Society!' Even then, that person of unique bravery and repute viz. Rama did not say one word in protest: how magnaanimous he had been! pūrvam eva tu nigrāhyaḥ samavekṣya nayānayau, utpatham yaḥ samārūḍho nāryā rājā vaśam gatah/As King Dasharatha was drowned in the evil influence of a woman, then itself having examined as to what was justice and what was not, that evil woman ought to have been imprisoned at the beginning itself! While this conversation was going on, Devi Kubja entered the eastern gate of the palace and stood having been decorated with bright precious jewellery, expensive silk clothing and with sweet scented body perfumes like an old female monkey. Even when she was entering, the doorman noticed her entry, he dragged her by her neck and addressed Shatrughna: yasyāh kṛte vane rāmo nyastadehaś ca vaḥ pitā, sevam pāpā nrśamsā ca tasvāh kuru vathāmati/ śatrughnaś ca tad ājñāva vacanam bhrśaduhkhitah, antahpuracarān sarvān itv uvāca dhrtavratah/ tīvram utpāditam duhkham bhrātīnām me tathā pituh. yayā seyam nṛśamsasya karmaṇaḥ phalam aśnutām/Rajakumara! It was this dirty woman who was responsible for Shri Rama's departure for 'aranya vaasa' and dear father's sad demise. Now she is being handed over to you and you may treat her suitably!' Then Shatrughna had at once grabbed her both wrists and head hair, shouted loudly as the entire interiors of the palace got resounded: 'This hateworthy wretched devil who made my father's life miserable leading to his sad demise and responsible for the degraded sin of advising Kaikeyi to banish the Godly eldest brother ought to deserve apt punishment!' As Shatrughna screamed with disgust and hatred, the onlookers especially the womanhood of the palace felt that he would surely kill her mercilessly. As Mandhara was dragged by her neck, her jewellery cracked up to bits, Kaikeyi rushed to rescue her and shouted at Shatrughna. But Shatrugna retaliated and she had to withdraw from his anger. Then Shatrughna addressed Bharata with extreme anger: avadhyāh sarvabhūtānām pramadāḥ kṣamyatām iti/ hanyām aham imām pāpām kaikeyīm duṣṭacāriṇīm, yadi mām dhārmiko rāmo nāsūyen mātṛghātakam/ imām api hatām kubjām yadi jānāti rāghavah, tvām ca mām caiva dharmātmā nābhibhāsisyate dhruvam/Pardon me! Women are not worthy of being killed by anybody. But for this fear of even Rama not excusing me for 'stree hatya', this nasty woman Mandhara is being spared! If Rama were to be aware of my indescretion, he would never even speak to me. Then Barata having seen this ugly scene, asked Shatrugna to leave Manthara to her own fate!

Sarga Seventy Nine

Ministers propose Bharata's 'rajyabhisheka'- but the latter proposes only temporary authority as Shri Rama ought to be the real King .

Tatah prabhātasamaye divase 'tha caturdaśe, sametya rājakartāro bharatam vākyam abruvan/ gato daśarathah svargam vo no gurutaro guruh, rāmam pravrājya vai jyestham laksmanam ca mahābalam/ tvam adya bhava no rājā rājaputra mahāyaśaḥ, samgatyā nāparādhnoti rājyam etad anāyakam/ ābhiṣecanikam sarvam idam ādāya rāghava, pratīkṣate tvām svajanaḥ śrenayaś ca nṛpātmaja/ rājyam gṛhāṇa bharata pitṛpaitāmaham mahat, abhiṣecaya cātmānam pāhi cāsmān nararṣabha/ ābhiṣecanikam bhāṇḍam kṛtvā sarvam pradakṣiṇam, bharatas tam janam sarvam pratyuvāca dhṛtavratah jyeṣṭhasya rājatā nityam ucitā hi kulasya naḥ, naivam bhavanto mām vaktum arhanti kuśalā janāḥ/ rāmaḥ pūrvo hi no bhrātā bhavişyati mahīpatiḥ, aham tv araṇye vatsyāmi varṣāṇi nava pañca ca/ yujyatām mahatī senā caturangamahābalā, ānayisyāmy aham jyestham bhrātaram rāghavam vanāt/ ābhisecanikam caiva sarvam etad upaskṛtam, puraskṛtya gamisyāmi rāmahetor vanam prati, tatraiva tam naravyāghram abhisicya puraskṛtam, ānesyāmi tu vai rāmam havyavāham ivādhvarāt/ na sakāmā karisyāmi svam imām mātṛgandhinīm, vane vatsyāmy aham durge rāmo rājā bhaviṣyati/ kriyatām śilpibhiḥ panthāḥ samāni vişamāni ca, rakṣiṇaś cānusamyāntu pathi durgavicārakāh/ evam sambhāṣamāṇam tam rāmahetor nṛpātmajam, pratyuvāca janaḥ sarvaḥ śrīmadvākyam anuttamam/ evam te bhāṣamāṇasya padmā śrīr upatisthatām, vas tvam įvesthe nrpasute prthivīm dātum icchasi/ anuttamam tad vacanam nrpātmaja; prabhāṣitam samśravane niśamya ca, praharṣajās tam prati bāṣpabindavo; nipetur āryānananetra sambhavāḥ/ ūcus te vacanam idam niśamya hṛṣṭāḥ; sāmātyāḥ sapariṣado viyātaśokāḥ, panthānam naravarabhaktimāñ janaś ca; vyādistas tava vacanāc ca śilpivargah/

Precisely fourteen days subsequently, the Mantris and the senior officials of the Kingdom called on Bharata Kumara and stated that since King Dasharatha had passed away and Shri Rama had already left for vana vaasa, you are the King now and formally should take over as the mourning period had formally concluded as meanwhile all the required arrangements had since been ready for your Rajyabhisheka. Then Bharata made a parikrama of the Abhisheka Kalasha, and addressed the officials as follows: jyesthasya rājatā nityam ucitā hi kulasya nah, naivam bhavanto mām vaktum arhanti kuśalā janāh/ rāmah pūrvo hi no bhrātā bhavisyati mahīpatih, aham tv aranye vatsyāmi varsāni nava pañca ca/ yujyatām mahatī senā caturangamahābalā, ānayişyāmy aham jyeştham bhrātaram rāghavam vanāt/ Dear friends, you should not ask me to do so as Rama is the eldest of the family and in our vamsha, it has been our convention that the eldest son is only eligible for Kingship and that ought to be so. In place of Ramachandra I am prepared to undergo the prescribed vana vaasa in place of my elder brother. Therefore get ready with chaturanga sena so that my elder brother would return and assume the kingship. I desire that all the material ready for the Rajyabhisheka be also taken along so that he could return with Sita Lakshmanas as the perfect King with the purity of Agni and the Yajna Karyas there itself. na sakāmā karisyāmi svam imām mātrgandhinīm, vane vatsyāmy aham durge rāmo rājā bhavisyati/ In this very context, I should like to emphasize and reemphasize that my mother Kaikeyi's life ambition be rejected at any cost! There fore let the labour force be also ensure that the ups and downs of earth be rectified as much as possible so that the entire party could reach the place where Rama had reached with Devi Sita and Lakshmana. As the Mantris and senior officials who requested Bharata earlier were totally taken aback at Bharat's decisiveness to reject their proposal of his kingship; they stated: evam te bhāṣamāṇasya padmā śrīr upatiṣṭhatām, yas tvam jyeṣṭhe nṛpasute pṛthivīm dātum icchasi/ Mahatma! By your decisiveness like this, may you be blessed again and again and may the lotus eyed Maha Vishnu along with Devi Lakshmi be with you ever, as you desire to decline the kingship as that actually rests with Shri Rama the truly eligible eldest son! Later on the Mantris made a public announcement to one and all of the most exhilarating news of Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas return to Ayodhya as Rama being the fullfledged King, soon! The Public was overcome with unparallelled joy at the divine-like determination of Bharata rejecting the erstwhile misdoing of Kaikeyi!

Sarga Eighty

Bharata initiates the constuction of comfortable 'Raja Marga' from Riveres Sarayu to banks of Ganga

Atha bhūmipradeśajñāh sūtrakarmaviśāradāh, svakarmābhiratāh śūrāh khanakā yantrakās tathā/ karmāntikāh sthapatayah purusā yantrakovidāh, tathā vardhakayaś caiva mārgino vrksataksakāh/ kūpakārāḥ sudhākārā vamśakarmakṛtas tathā, samarthā ye ca draṣṭāraḥ puratas te pratasthire/ sa tu harşāt tam uddeśam janaugho vipulah prayān, aśobhata mahāvegah sāgarasyeva parvani/ te svavāram samāsthāya vartmakarmāṇi kovidāḥ, karaṇair vividhopetaiḥ purastāt sampratasthire/ latāvallīś ca gulmāms ca sthānūn asmana eva ca, janās te cakrire mārgam chindanto vividhān drumān/ avṛkṣeṣu ca deśeşu ke cid vṛkṣān aropayan, ke cit kuṭhāraiṣ ṭaṅkaiś ca dāṭraiś chindan kva cit kva cit/apare vīraņastambān balino balavattarāḥ, vidhamanti sma durgāṇi sthalāni ca tatas tataḥ/ apare 'pūrayan kūpān pāmsubhih śvabhram āyatam, nimnabhāgāms tathā ke cit samāms cakruh samantatah/babandhur bandhanīyāms ca ksodyān samcuksudus tadā, bibhidur bhedanīyāms ca tāms tān desān narās tadā/ acirenaiva kālena parivāhān bahūdakān, cakrur bahuvidhākārān sāgarapratimān bahūn, udapānān bahuvidhān vedikā parimaṇḍitān/ sasudhākuṭṭimatalaḥ prapuṣpitamahīruhaḥ, mattodghuṣṭadvijagaṇaḥ patākābhir alamkrtah/ candanodakasamsikto nānākusumabhūsitah, bahv asobhata senāyāh panthāh svargapathopamaḥ/ājñāpyātha yathājñapti yuktās te 'dhikṛtā narāḥ, ramaṇīyeṣu deśeṣu bahusvāduphaleşu ca/yo niveśas tv abhipreto bharatasya mahātmanah, bhūyas tam śobhavām āsur bhūṣābhir bhūṣaṇopamam/ nakṣatreṣu praśasteṣu muhūrteṣu ca tadvidaḥ, niveśaṁ sthāpayām āsur bharatasya mahātmanaḥ/ bahupāmsucayāś cāpi parikhāparivāritāḥ, tatrendrakīlapratimāḥ pratolīvarašobhitāh/ prāsādamālāsamyuktāh saudhaprākārasamvṛtāh, patākā šobhitāh sarve sunirmitamahāpathāh/visarpatbhir ivākāśe vitankāgravimānakaih, samucchritair niveśās te babhuh śakrapuropamāh/jāhnavīm tu samāsādya vividhadruma kānanām, śītalāmalapānīyām mahāmīnasamākulām/ sacandratārāgaṇamaṇḍitam yathā; nabhaḥkṣapāyām amalam virājate, narendramārgah sa tathā vvarājata; kramena ramvah śubhaśilpinirmitah/

As instructed by Bharata, innumerable labour forces were arranged, to even out the pathway across mountains by way of diggings and clearing off forests, crossing water bodies and rives by several boats, diverting flows of rivers as possible, charioteers and machines for digging and road rollings, tree cutters, food, kichen and cooking arrangements, mats and animal skins for seating and resting, bullock-horse elephant-camel carts, wood cutters and furniture makers and so on. sasudhākuṭṭimatalaḥ prapuṣpita mahīruhaḥ, mattodghuṣṭadvijagaṇaḥ patākābhir alamkṛtaḥ/ candanodakasamsikto nānākusumabhūṣitaḥ, bahv aśobhata senāyāḥ panthāḥ svargapathopamaḥ/In this manner, as the pathyway through jungles, mountains and water bodies was laid out like 'Deva Margas' with stone pebbles wide spread and evened out all along the route. Further the road ways were decorated with victory flags and huge banners with flowers and hangings at key and select points especially the road turnings. ājñāpyātha yathājñapti yuktās te 'dhikṛtā narāh, ramanīyesu deśesu bahusvāduphalesu ca/ yo niveśas tv abhipreto bharatasya mahātmanah, bhūyas tam śobhayām āsur bhūṣābhir bhūṣanopamam/ As per the instructions of Bharata, horded of halting places with tasteful restful resorts where tasty and sweet fruits plucked from the plentiful trees around be made available for the asking of the passers by. nakṣatreṣu praśasteṣu muhūrtesu ca tadvidah, niveśam sthāpayām āsur bharatasya mahātmanah/Experts in Vaastu Shastra and of Nakshatra-Muhurta vidwans were engaged too to decide on the halting points of Bharata either for rest, or taking food, or for ablutions or night halts and accordingly the rest joints, kictchens, and food servive facilities to one and all got placed too. jāhnavīm tu samāsādya vividhadruma kānanām, śītalāmalapānīyām mahāmīnasamākulām/ sacandratārāganamanditam yathā; nabhahksapāyām amalam virājate, narendramārgah sa tathā vyarājata; kramena ramyah subhasilpinirmitah/ All along the banks of Ganga enroute, a well laid 'raja maarga' got into excellent shape thanks to the industry and the short possibe time frame of the royal work force and their supervising engineers and experts of architects.

Sarga Eighty One

As 'mangala vaadyas' were heard on a morning, Bharata felt uneasy and asked Vasishtha to come to Rajya sabha with Ministers and officials

Tato nāndīmukhīm rātrim bharatam sūtamāgadhāh, tuṣṭuvur vāgviśeṣajñāḥ stavair maṅgalasamhitaiḥ/suvarṇakoṇābhihataḥ prāṇadad yāmadundubhiḥ, dadhmuḥ śaṅkhāmś ca śataśo vādyāmś choccāvaca -svarān/ sa tūrya ghoṣaḥ sumahān divam āpūrayann iva, bharatam śokasamtaptam bhūyaḥ śokair arandhrayat/ tato prabuddho bharatas tam ghoṣam samnivartya ca, nāham rājeti cāpy uktvā śatrughnam idam abravīt/ paśya śatrughna kaikeyyā lokasyāpakṛtam mahat, visṛjya mayi duḥkhāni rājā daśaratho gataḥ/ tasyaiṣā dharmarājasya dharmamūlā mahātmanaḥ, paribhramati rājaśrīr naur ivākarṇikā jale/ ity evam bharatam prekṣya vilapantam vicetanam, kṛpaṇam ruruduḥ sarvāḥ sasvaram yoṣitas tadā/tathā tasmin vilapati vasiṣṭho rājadharmavit, sabhām ikṣvākunāthasya praviveśa mahāyaśāḥ/ śāta kumbha - mayīm ramyām maṇiratnasamākulām, sudharmām iva dharmātmā sagaṇaḥ pratyapadyata/ sa kāñcana - mayam pīṭham parārdhyāstaraṇāvṛtam, adhyāsta sarvavedajño dūtān anuśaśāsa ca/brāhmaṇān kṣatriyān yodhān amātyān gaṇaballabhān, kṣipram ānayatāvyagrāḥ kṛtyam ātyayikam hi naḥ/ tato halahalāśabdo mahān samudapadyata, rathair aśvair gajaiś cāpi janānām upagacchatām/ tato bharatam āyāntam śatakratum ivāmarāḥ, pratyanandan prakṛtayo yathā daśaratham tathā/ hrada iva timināgasamvṛtaḥ; stimitajalo maṇiśaṅkhaśarkaraḥ, daśarathasutaśobhitā sabhā; sadaśaratheva babhau yathā p/ā

As the preparations of laying the Raja Marga through the forests along and upto the Sacred Ganges were in full swing as per Bharata's instructions, there at Ayodhya on a prescribed early morning, Bharata was woken up by the 'vandimagadhas' or the troupe of praising awakeners. Subsequently, the morning drums and instrumental musician groups alerted Bharata who had been crying away besides thinking all through the night. Then he flared up at the groups of drummers and musicians and shouted: I am not the King! and stopped the sounds forthwith. Then he addressed Shatrughna: 'See! What type of damage that Kaikeyi had done; Maha Raja Dasharatha was despatched to Swarga and immersed us in deep distress! Now thanks to King Dasharatha now Rajya Lakshmi is floating like a boat which way to go by! *Yo hi nah smahaan naathah sopi pravraajito vane, anaya dharmamutrujya maatraa me Ragvah swayam*/ That maha swami and dharmagjna being the universal protector Raghunadha had already been sent off by my own mother and despatched away dharma with 'tilaanjali'!' As Bharata said so, the Rani vaasa women broke out in sobbings aloud. At that juncture, Maharshi Vasishtha entered tha sabha bhavana of the ex. King Dasharatha. He then instructed Bharata Shatrugnas to please attend. Then the Ministers, Sena patis, Public Leaders gradually occupied their seats.

Sarga Eighty Two

Bharata disagrees with Vasishtha that kingship was Rama's right and only a passing solution now

Tām āryaganasampūrņām bharatah pragrahām sabhām, dadarśa buddhisampannah pūrņacandrām niśām iva/āsanāni yathānyāyam āryāṇām viśatām tadā/adrśyata ghanāpāye pūrṇacandreva śarvarī/ rājñas tu prakrtīh sarvāh samagrāh preksva dharmavit, idam purohito vākvam bharatam mrdu cābravīt/ tāta rājā daśarathah svargato dharmam ācaran, dhana dhānyayatīm sphītām pradāya prthivīm tava./ rāmas tathā satyadhrtih satām dharmam anusmaran, nājahāt pitur ādeśam śaśī jyotsnām ivoditah/ pitrā bhrātrā ca te dattam rājyam nihatakantakam, tad bhunksva muditāmātyah ksipram evābhisecaya/ udīcyāś ca pratīcyāś ca dāksinātyāś ca kevalāh, kotyāparāntāh sāmudrā ratnāny abhiharantu te/ tac chrutvā bharato vākyam śokenābhipariplutah, jagāma manasā rāmam dharmajño dharmakānksayā/ sa bāspakalayā vācā kalahamsasvaro yuvā, vilalāpa sabhāmadhye jagarhe ca purohitam/ caritabrahma caryasya vidyā snātasya dhīmataḥ, dharme prayatamānasya ko rājyam madvidho haret/ katham daśarathāj jāto bhaved rājyāpahārakah, rājyam cāham ca rāmasya dharmam vaktum ihārhasi/ jyeṣṭhaḥ śreṣṭhaś ca dharmātmā dilīpanahuṣopamaḥ, labdhum arhati kākutstho rājyam daśaratho yathā/ anāryajustam asvargyam kuryām pāpam aham yadi, iksvākūnām aham loke bhaveyam kulapāmsanah/ yad dhi mātrā kṛtam pāpam nāham tad abhirocaye, ihastho vanadurgastham namasyāmi kṛtāñjalih/ rāmam evānugacchāmi sa rājā dvipadām varaḥ, trayāṇām api lokānām rāghavo rājyam arhati/tad vākvam dharmasamvuktam śrutvā sarve sabhāsadah, harsān mumucur aśrūni rāme nihitacetasah/ vadi tv

āryam na śaksyāmi vinivartayitum vanāt, vane tatraiva vatsyāmi yathāryo laksmanas tathā/ sarvopāyam tu vartisye vinivartayitum balāt, samaksam ārya miśrānām sādhūnām gunavartinām/ evam uktvā tu dharmātmā bharato bhrātṛvatsalaḥ, samīpastham uvācedam sumantram mantrakovidam/ tūrṇam utthāya gaccha tvam sumantra mama śāsanāt, yātrām ājñāpaya kṣipram balam caiva samānaya/ evam uktaḥ sumantras tu bharatena mahātmanā, prahrstah so 'diśat sarvam vathā samdistam istavat/ tāh prahrstāh prakṛtayo balādhyakṣā balasya ca, śrutvā yātrām samājñaptām rāghavasya nivartane/ tato yodhānganāh sarvā bhartrn sarvān grhegrhe, yātrā gamanam ājñāya tvarayanti sma harsitāh/ te hayair gorathaih śīghraih syandanaiś ca manojavaih, saha yodhair balādhyaksā balam sarvam acodavan/ sajjam tu tad balam drstvā bharato gurusamnidhau, ratham me tvarayasveti sumantram pārśvato 'bravīt/ bharatasya tu tasyājñām pratigrhya praharsitah, ratham grhītvā prayayau yuktam paramavājibhih/ sa rāghayah satyadhrtih pratāpavān; bruvan suyuktam drdhasatyavikramah, gurum mahāranyagatam yaśasvinam; prasādavisyan bharato 'bravīt tadā/ tūna samutthāya sumantra gaccha; balasya yogāya balapradhānān, ānetum icchāmi hi tam vanastham; prasādya rāmam jagato hitāya/ sa sūtaputro bharatena samyag; ājñāpitaḥ samparipūrṇakāmaḥ, śaśāsa sarvān prakṛtipradhānān; balasya mukhyāms ca suhṛjjanam ca/ tatah samutthāva kule kule te; rājanvavaiśyā vrsalāś ca viprāh, avūvujann ustrarathān kharāmś ca; nāgān hayāṁś caiva kulaprasūtān/

As Bharata graced the full Rajya Sabha like the post monsoon Sharad Ritu Purnima Chandra along with the sparkling Stars all around like vidwans, minsters, and the public figures of far reaching fame. Then Maharshi Vasistha addressed Bharata! 'Esteemed Bharata! Dharmagina King Dasharatha has since left for heavens and Satyavaadi Shri Rama had left for forest life. Now on bahalf all of us at this Grand Meet, may I request you to take over the reins of Kingdom. Once you agree, the huge fraternity of the co-Kings and the reputed businessmen from all over the globe are ready to dedicate their dhana-dhanya-vastuvaahanas by way of their unanimity and great good will for you as the new King. Bharata then broke into tears in the open conference and in low voice addressed the Maharshi: 'Gurudeva! How could I a normal human like me steal away the Kingdom of the outstanding Shri Rama. He has the radiance of King Nahusha or King Dilip of this dazzling ancestry and of the just deceased Maharaja Dasharatha! anārvajustam asvargvam kurvām pāpam aham vadi, iksvākūnām aham loke bhavevam kulapāmsanah/ It is only the mean and undeserving persons who could resort to such sinfulness who would most certainly reach the lowest kind of narakas. If I assume the kingship that rightfully belongs to Rama, would that be not a grave slurr to the most reputed Ikshvaaku Vamsha! Yad dhi mātrā krtam pāpam nāham tad abhirocaye, ihastho vanadurgastham namasyāmi krtāñjalih/ As I have sincerely abhorred what my mother had planned and sinned grievously, I am hereby prostrating my elder brother Shri Rama living in deep forests from here itself. Rāmam evānugacchāmi sa rājā dvipadām varah, trayānām api lokānām rāghavo rājyam arhati/ I ought to therefore follow Shri Rama alone and he is the assuredly unquestionable King of Ayodhya. In fact, he is worthy of administering three lokas! 'As Bharata replied likewise to what Vasishtha Maharshi proposed, the entire conference hall resounded with clappings and appreciative cryings with tears. Then Bharata further asserted: 'vadi tv ārvam na śaksvāmi vinivartavitum vanāt, vane tatraiva vatsvāmi vathārvo laksmanas tathā/ sarvopāvam tu vartisve vinivartavitum balāt, samakṣam ārya miśrāṇām sādhūnām guṇavartinām/In case I fail to have Rama returned back to Ayodhya, then I too should follow the example of Lakshmana and stay backalong with them all! I shall endeavour my utmost to return by using all my capabilities. I have already made elaborate preparations by way of making suitable road laying through the forests and crossing water bodies and rivers to facilitate Rama's return and am strongly convinced of his approval for return to Ayodhya.' Having thus concluding the Maha Sabha, he then addressed Sumantra to send his command to move the army. The entire audience in the Maha Sabha roared in raptures with applauses. As a ripple effect of the proceedings, the city of Ayodhya which had thus far crestfallen thus far and the public came alive. From each household, the woman folk egged on their husbands and the able bodied to join the procession along with the thousands of soldiers, apart from the workforce who had already positioned themselves. Then Bharata instructed Sumantra: tūna samutthāya sumantra gaccha; balasya yogāya balapradhānān, ānetum icchāmi hi tam vanastham; prasādva rāmam jagato hitāva/ Sumantra! Have you not already

readied the Senapati to line up the army as we are about to launch the glorius fulfillment of our program of return with Shri Rama- Devi Sita-brother Lakshmana. Then the house holds Brahmana-Kshatriya-Vaishya and Lower classes of Ayodhya were pleasantly activised and got readied with unusual excitement and the anticipated fulfillment of their ambitions.

Sarga Eighty Three

Bharata's vana yatra and night halt at Shringaverapura

Tataḥ samutthitaḥ kālyam āsthāya syandanottamam, prayayau bharataḥ śīghram rāmadarśanakānkṣayā/ agratah prayayus tasya sarve mantripurodhasah, adhiruhya hayair yuktān rathān sūryarathopamān/ navanāgasahasrāni kalpitāni yathāvidhi, anvayur bharatam yāntam iksvāku kulanandanam/ sasthī rathasahasrāni dhanvino vividhāyudhāh, anvayur bharatam yāntam rājaputram yaśasvinam/ śatam sahasrāny aśvānām samārūdhāni rāghavam, anvavur bharatam vāntam rājaputram vaśasvinam/kaikeyī ca sumitrā ca kausalvā ca vaśasvinī, rāmānavanasamhrstā vavur vānena bhāsvatā/ pravātāś cāryasamghātā rāmam drastum salaksmaṇam, tasyaiva ca kathāś citrāḥ kurvāṇā hṛṣṭamānasāḥ/ meghaśyāmam mahābāhum sthirasattvam drdhavratam, kadā draksyāmahe rāmam jagatah śokanāśanam/ Drishta eva hi nah shokamapanashyati Ragavah, tama sarvasya lokasyy samudyinniva Bhaskarah// ity evam kathayantas te samprahṛstāh kathāh subhāh, parisvajānās cānyonyam yayur nāgarikās tadā/ ye ca tatrāpare sarve sammatā ye ca naigamāḥ, rāmam prati yayur hṛṣṭāh sarvāh prakrtavas tadā/ mani kārāś ca ve ke cit kumbhakārāś ca śobhanāh, sūtrakarmakrtaś caiva ve ca śastropajīvinah/ māvūrakāh krākacikā rocakā vedhakās tathā, dantakārāh sudhākārās tathā gandhopajīvinah/ suvarnakārāh prakhyātās tathā kambaladhāvakāh, snāpakācchādakā vaidyā dhūpakāh śaundikās tathā/ rajakās tunnavāyāś ca grāmaghosamahattarāh, śailūsāś ca saha strībhir yānti kaivartakās tathā/ samāhitā vedavido brāhmanā vṛttasammatāh, gorathair bharatam yāntam anujagmuh sahasraśah/ suvesāh śuddhavasanās tāmramṛstānulepanāh, sarve te vividhair yānaih śanair bharatam anvayuḥ/ praḥṛṣṭamuditā senā sānvayāt kaikayīsutam, vyavatiṣṭhata sā senā bharatasyānuyāyinī/ nirīksvānugatām senām tām ca gangām sivodakām, bharatah sacivān sarvān abravīd vākvakovidah/ niveśayata me sainyam abhiprāyena sarvaśah, viśrāntah pratarisyāmah śva idānīm mahānadīm/ dātum ca tāvad icchāmi svar gatasya mahīpateḥ, aurdhvadeha nimittārtham avatīryodakam nadīm/ tasyaivam bruvato 'mātyās tathety uktvā samāhitāh, nyaveśayams tāmś chandena svena svena prthakprthak/ niveśya gangām anu tām mahānadīm; camūm vidhānaih paribarha sobhinīm, uvāsa rāmasya tadā mahātmano; vicintayāno bharato nivartanam/

Bharata with unprecedented excitement for 'Shri Rama darshana' got readied in the morning on into an ideal chariot like that of Surya Ratha itself! The chariot was followed by a thousand elephants., six thousand chariots in which several 'dhanurdhara's too were present. Behind them were a lakh of horse men. Countless 'dwijas' of Brahmana-Kshatriya-Vaisya committee joing the procession. They were excited to the core as if they were all in 'Vrataanushthaana' or the supreme didicated mindedness to meet and see for themselves Shri Rama Devi Sita Lakshmanas conversing in animated discussions especially Rama the Sthitapragina-Samsara duhkha nivaraka- shyaama varna- aajaana bahu. They were all in trance like excitement embracing of camaraderie and solidatity. They are assuring mutally: Drishta eva hi nah shokamapanashyati Ragavah, tama sarvasya lokasyy samudyinniva Bhaskarah// Just as Surya Deva at the 'ushahkaala' or early morning smahes darkness, the vision of Shri Rama should terminate the 'shokasantaapa' or the agitated cryings of 'samsara'. The crowds in the procession were in multifarious body presentation- some wearing glittering clothes of variety with studded artificial semi and precious stones; some peacock wear dresses; some with besmeared sandal pastes, some with ivory made jewellery, some with bedspreads with variety of motifs, some with display of their skilled artistries of carpentry, metal works of copper, silver, gold, bronze and steel; sone of the 'veda vettas' reciting stanzas on aospiciosness, safety, and good health and some displaying varieties of group dances, or 'vaadya brindaas' and so on. Prahrstamuditā senā sānvayāt kaikayīsutam, vyavatisthata sā senā bharatasyānuyāyinī/ The entire army

of Ayodhya of 'chaturanga sena' was on the move the followed Bhara Shatrughnas with unprecedented exhilaration and animation. The unending procession had thus Shringaverapura on the banks of Ganga. Dātum ca tāvad icchāmi svar gatasya mahīpateḥ, aurdhvadeha nimittārtham avatīryodakam nadīm/tasyaivam bruvato 'mātyās tathety uktvā samāhitāḥ, nyaveśayams tāmś chandena svena svena pṛthakpṛthak/ As the huge procession stopped over, the men and women of Ayodhya performed their respective tarpanas to King Dasharatha and rested thera after for the night.

Sarga Eighty Four

Nishaada Raja hosts Bharata's overnight stay before crossing Ganga the next day

Tato niviştām dhvajinīm gangām anvāśritām nadīm, niṣādarājo dṛṣṭvaiva jñātīn samtvarito 'bravīt' mahatīyam ataḥ senā sāgarābhā pradṛśyate, nāsyāntam avagacchāmi manasāpi vicintayan/ eṣa hi mahākāyaḥ kovidāradhvajo rathe, bandhayişyati vā dāśān atha vāsmān vadhişyati/ atha dāśarathim rāmam pitrā rājyād vivāsitam, bharatah kaikevīputro hantum samadhigacchati/ bhartā caiva sakhā caiva rāmo dāśarathir mama, tasyārthakāmāḥ samnaddhā gangānūpe 'tra tisthata/ tisthantu sarvadāśāś ca gangām anvāśritā nadīm, balayuktā nadīrakṣā māmsamūlaphalāśanāḥ/ nāvām śatānām pañcānām kaivartānām śatam śatam, samnaddhānām tathā yūnām tisthantv atyabhyacodayat/ yadā tustas tu bharato rāmasyeha bhavisyati, seyam svastimayī senā gangām adya tarisyati/ ity uktvopāyanam grhya matsyamāmsamadhūni ca, abhicakrāma bharatam niṣādādhipatir guhaḥ/ tam āyāntam tu sampreksya sūtaputrah pratāpavān, bharatāyācacakṣe 'tha vinayajño vinītavat/ eṣa jñātisahasreṇa sthapatih parivāritah, kuśalo daṇḍakāraṇye vṛddho bhrātuś ca te sakhā/ tasmāt paśyatu kākutstha tvām nisādādhipo guhah, asamsayam vijānīte yatra tau rāmalaksmanau/ etat tu vacanam srutvā sumantrād bharatah subham, uvāca vacanam sīghram guhah pasyatu mām iti/labdhvābhyanujñām samhrsto jñātibhih parivāritah, āgamya bharatam prahvo guho vacanam abravīt/ niskutas caiva deso 'yam vañcitāś cāpi te vayam, nivedayāmas te sarve svake dāśakule vasa/ asti mūlam phalam caiva nisādaih samupāhṛtam, ārdram ca māmsam śuṣkam ca vanyam coccāvacam mahat/ āśamse svāśitā senā vatsvatīmām vibhāvarīm, arcito vividhaih kāmaih śvah sasainvo gamisvasi/

Nishada Raja Guha having seen the huge Sena and Public of Ayodhya, addressed his men that the ocean like army of Ayodhya had arrived headed by Bharata as indicated by his chariot's flag; I am not sure of the intentions of Bharata and therefore by ready for any eventuality. We have five hundred boats and having stored a back up of food and drinks. yadā tustas tu bharato rāmasyeha bhavisyati, seyam svastimayī senā gangām adya tarisyati/ ity uktvopāyanam grhya matsyamāmsamadhūni ca, abhicakrāma bharatam niṣādādhipatir guhaḥ/yadā tuṣṭas tu bharato rāmasyeha bhaviṣyati, seyam svastimayī senā gangām adya tarişyati/ity uktvopāyanam grhya matsyamāmsamadhūni ca, abhicakrāma bharatam niṣādādhipatir guhah/ In case Bharata's intention is pro Rama, then we can certainly help them and ferry across to the other side of Ganga, otherwise not! So saying Guha alerted his well built boatsmen. Having decided thus Nishada Raja Guha alerted them and ferried near to Bharata and addressed Bharata: esa jñātisahasreṇa sthapatiḥ parivāritaḥ, kuśalo daṇḍakāraṇye vṛddho bhrātuś ca te sakhā/ tasmāt paśyatu kākutstha tvām nisādādhipo guhah, asamsayam vijānīte vatra tau rāmalaksmanau/ 'Kakusthakula bhushana! I am the chief of Nishadas named Guha and I have my followers of boatsmen with thousands of strong men. I am the admirer of friend Shri Rama and am possessive of the whatwith all of the information of this adjacent dandakaranya. Decidedly, Rama Lakshmanas are of the features of your as a brother. And I could be of assistance to you and your followers. niṣkuṭaś caiva deśo 'yaṁ vañcitāś cāpi te vayam, nivedayāmas te sarve svake dāśakule vasa/ asti mūlam phalam caiva niṣādaiḥ samupāhṛtam, ārdram ca māmsam śuṣkam ca vanyam coccāvacam mahat/ Nishada Raja then assured Bharata that the 'vana pradeshas' around would be like gardens for you and your followers and he and his men would be at the disposal for any type of service, so saying he asked his men to distribute flowers and fresh fruits. He further assured that he would initiate the service of him and his followeres from the next early morning onward.

Sarga Eighty Five

Bharata and Nishada Raja exchange vies of Rama's magnanimity and valour

Evam uktas tu bharato niṣādādhipatim guham, pratyuvāca mahāprājño vākyam hetvarthasamhitam/ ūrjitaḥ khalu te kāmaḥ krto mama guroḥ sakhe, yo me tvam īdrsīm senām eko 'bhyarcitum icchasi/ ity uktvā tu mahātejā guham vacanam uttamam, abravīd bharatah śrīmān nisādādhipatim punah/ katarena gamişyāmi bharadvājāśramam guha, gahano 'yam bhrsam deso gangānūpo duratyayah/ tasya tadvacanam śrutvā rājaputrasya dhīmatah, abravīt prāñjalir vākyam guho gahanagocarah/ dāśās tv anugamisyanti dhanvinah susamāhitāh, aham cānugamisyāmi rājaputra mahāyaśah/kaccin na dusto vrajasi rāmasyāklistakarmanah, iyam te mahatī senā śaṅkām janayatīva me/ tam evam abhibhāsantam ākāśa iva nirmalah, bharatah ślakṣṇayā vācā guham vacanam abravīt/ mā bhūt sa kālo yat kaṣṭam na mām śankitum arhasi, rāghavah sa hi me bhrātā jyesthah pitrsamo mama tam nivartayitum yāmi kākutstham vanavāsinam, buddhir anvā na te kārvā guha satvam bravīmi te/ sa tu samhrstavadanah śrutvā bharatabhāṣitam, punar evābravīd vākyam bharatam prati harṣitaḥ/ dhanyas tvam na tvayā tulyam paśyāmi jagatītale, ayatnād āgatam rājyam yas tvam tyaktum ihecchasi/ śāśvatī khalu te kīrtir lokān anucarisyati, yas tvam krechragatam rāmam pratyānayitum iechasi/ evam sambhāsamānasya guhasya bharatam tadā, babhau nastaprabhah sūryo rajanī cābhyavartata/ samnivesya sa tām senām guhena paritoşitah, śatrughnena saha śrīmāñ śayanam punar āgamat/ rāmacintāmayah śoko bharatasya mahātmanah, upasthito hy anarhasya dharmapreksasya tādrśah/ antardāhena dahanah samtāpayati rāghavam, vanadāhābhisamtaptam gūḍho 'gnir iva pādapam/ prasrutaḥ sarvagātrebhyaḥ svedaḥ śokāgnisambhavah, yathā sūryāmśusamtapto himavān prasruto himam/ dhyānanirdaraśailena vinihśvasitadhātunā, dainyapādapasamghena śokāyāsādhiśrnginā/ pramohānantasattvena samtāpausadhivenunā, ākrānto duhkhaśailena mahatā kaikayīsutah/ guhena sārdham bharatah samāgato; mahānubhāvah sajanah samāhitah, sudurmanās tam bharatam tadā punar; guhah samāśvāsayad agrajam prati/

Bharata replied to Nishada king Guha: 'dear brother! I am beholden to you for your gesture and the distribution of fresh fruits to my army and followers.' Then he requested Guha to reach that specific direction where the ashram of Maharshi Bharadvaja. Guha assured that he would arrange to accompany him quite an few 'mallas' or very strong built men alonf with him. But , kaccin na dusto vrajasi rāmasyāklistakarmanah, iyam te mahatī senā śankām janayatīva me/ tam evam abhibhāsantam ākāśa iva nirmalah, bharatah ślaksnayā vācā guham vacanam abravīt/ Guha expressed a doubt! Mahabali Rajakumara! I have only a doubt about your intention of your trying to meet Rama, since you are carrying such huge 'sena' along with you! Then Bharata replied in all seriousness: mā bhūt sa kālo yat kaṣṭaṁ na mām śankitum arhasi, rāghavah sa hi me bhrātā jyesthah pitrsamo mama tam nivartayitum yāmi kākutstham vanavāsinam, buddhir anvā na te kārvā guha satvam bravīmi te/ Nishada Raja! May that type of inauaspious occasion should never occur in my lifetime! I feel badly hurt by your expression of doubtfulness and you should never ever suspect my sincerity: Shri Raghu natha is not only my elder brother, but like my father. Kakutsanandana Shri Rama had left for long forest like, but believe me! I ama going there near him only to prostrate to him with the express request to return home! 'Guha too felt relieved of his doubt and said: dhanyas tvam na tvayā tulyam paśyāmi jagatītale, ayatnād āgatam rājyam yas tvam tyaktum ihecchasi/śāśvatī khalu te kīrtir lokān anucariṣyati, yas tvam kṛcchragatam rāmam pratyānayitum icchasi/ Bharata! Your are truly great as you are of this firm decision and to ignore and discard the status of Kingship! I have yet to imagine a person of this 'dharmatva' of sacrifice, virtuousness and purity of supreme thought like you! Your decisiveness to request Shri Rama to discard forest life and grace Kingship should spread your glory globally in a unique manner!' Guha was overwhelmed and requested that the Ayodhya Sena be requested for overnight sleep. But, Bharta was unable to rest as he could not wipe off the bad memories of his return from his maternal grandfather's kingdom and the most unfortunate and unforgettable experiences from his father's death, the evil mindedness of his mother, the

most harrowing experience of Rama Sita Lakshmana vana vaasa and so on. antardāhena dahanaḥ samtāpayati rāghavam, vanadāhābhisamtaptam gūḍho 'gnir iva pādapam/ prasrutaḥ sarvagātrebhyaḥ svedaḥ śokāgnisambhavaḥ, yathā sūryāmśusamtapto himavān prasruto himam/ The internal anguish and untold distress of Bharata was like the ever engulfing flames of forest, from the dismaying news of the King's demise and Shri Rama viyoga. Bharata then had sweatings flowing all over his body like for inexplicable reasons, mid day blazing Sun meleted off himalaya muntain peaks. Then Bharata was drowned in fear and mourning as thought his nervous system had got shaken up and was giving away! It was at that peak of mourning of Bharata, Guha met him in the morning next and gave him peace of mind and preparedness for the onward journey.

Sarga Eighty Six

Nishada Raja extols about the nobility and devotion to Rama by Lakshmana

Aacacakşe 'tha sadbhāvam lakşmanasya mahātmanaḥ, bharatāyāprameyāya guho gahanagocaraḥ/ tam jāgratam guņair yuktam varacāpeşudhārinam, bhrātr guptyartham atyantam aham lakṣmaṇam abravam/ iyam tāta sukhā śayyā tvadartham upakalpitā, pratyāśvasihi śeṣvāsyām sukham rāghavanandana/ucito 'yam janah sarve duhkhānām tvam sukhocitah, dharmātmams tasya guptyartham jāgarisyāmahe vayam/ na hi rāmāt priyataro mamāsti bhuvi kaś cana, motsuko bhūr bravīmy etad apy asatyam tavāgratah/ asya prasādād āśamse loke 'smin sumahad yaśaḥ, dharmāvāptim ca vipulām arthāvāptim ca kevalām/ so 'ham priyasakham rāmam śayānam saha sītayā, rakṣiṣyāmi dhanuṣpāṇiḥ sarvaiḥ svair jñātibhiḥ saha/ na hi me 'viditam kim cid vane 'smim's caratah sadā, caturangam hy api balam prasahema vayam yudhi/ evam asmābhir uktena laksmanena mahātmanā, anunītā vayam sarve dharmam evānupaśyatā/ katham dāśarathau bhūmau śayāne saha sītayā, śakyā nidrāmayā labdhum jīvitam vā sukhāni vā/ yo na devāsuraih sarvaih śakyah prasahitum yudhi, tam paśya guha samvistam tṛnesu saha sītayā/ mahatā tapasā labdho vividhaiś ca pariśramaih, eko daśarathasyaisa putrah sadrśalaksanah/ asmin prayrājite rājā na ciram vartavişyati, vidhavā medinī nūnam kṣipram eva bhavişyati/ vinadya sumahānādam śramenoparatāh strivah, nirghosoparatam nūnam adva rājaniveśanam/ kausalvā caiva rājā ca tathaiva jananī mama, nāśamse vadi te sarve jīvevuh śarvarīm imām/ jīved api hi me mātā śatrughnasvānvave kṣayā, duḥkhitā yā tu kausalyā vīrasūr vinaśiṣyati/ atikrāntam atikrāntam anavāpya manoratham, rājye rāmam aniksipya pitā me vinaśisyati/ siddhārthāh pitaram vrttam tasmin kāle hy upasthite, pretakāryesu sarvesu samskarisyanti bhūmipam/ramyacatvarasamsthānām suvibhaktamahāpathām, harmyaprāsāda sampannām sarvaratnavibhūsitām/ gajāśvarathasambādhām tūryanādavināditām, sarvakalyānasampūrnām hṛstapustajanākulām/ ārāmodyānasampūrnām samājotsavaśālinīm, sukhitā vicarisyanti rājadhānīm pitur mama/ api satyapratijñena sārdham kuśalinā vayam, nivṛtte samaye hy asmin sukhitāh praviśemahi/ paridevayamānasya tasyaivam sumahātmanah, tiṣṭhato rājaputrasya śarvarī sātyavartata/ prabhāte vimale sūrye kārayitvā jaṭā ubhau, asmin bhāgīrathī tīre sukham samtāritau mayā/ jaṭādharau tau drumacīravāsasau; mahābalau kuñjarayūthapopamau, varesucāpāsidharau paramtapau; vyaveksamānau saha sītavā gatau/

Nishada King Guha, then described about the outstanding qualities of Lakshmana to Bharata. As Shri Rama was resting for a night sleep, Lakshmana was in the habit of addressing Shri Rama while desirous having the nihnt sleep, then Lakshmana would say: Raghunandana! I have prepared a comfortable bed for you and you may please rest well. Guha said that he and Lakshmana were talking and exchanging views almost through the small hours of the morning. Na hi rāmāt priyataro mamāsti bhuvi kaś cana, motsuko bhūr bravīmy etad apy asatyam tavāgrataḥ/ asya prasādād āśamse loke 'smin sumahad yaśaḥ, dharmāvāptim ca vipulām arthāvāptim ca kevalām/ Lakshmana assured Guha that there was none like Rama on the face of earth and that he would provide raksha all through the night! Thanks to Rama, I could certainly beget dharma laabha, great fame, and luxuries of life; but there could be no other like ambition of mine right now to keep my arrows in readiness and ensure safety to Sita Ramas through out the night. Lakshmana further used to state Guha that there could never be a secret unknown to him in the

forest, and even an attack by 'chaturana sena' even could be faced instantaneously!' Thus the Nishada informed about Lakshmana's dedication to Rama, Bharata addressed Guha: Nishada Raja! Indeed it is so as Lakshmana would be not able to neglect his duty any way. Moreover, Lakshmana is capable to handle singlehandedly even when sura-asuras combine in a mutual battle with him; that is how, Sita Ramas are sleeping without any problem at all!' Having thus affirmed the complementary heroism of Rama Lakshmanas, Bharata then realised another context of Rani vaasa strees in Ayodhya too should be now peaceful as all along the unfortunate developments of Ayodhya swept them off their feet so far! Guha then continued his naration to Bharata about what Lakshmana felt when the latter told Guha: 'Maha Ranis Kousalya, King Dasharatha and my mother Sumitra might or might not survive till now. My mother might survive perhaps due to the hope of Shatrughna who had left along wiyh Bharata, but since Rama had left away, Devi Kousalya's life could be risky! As far as King Dashatatha would be concerned, it appears certain that since Rama had left, he might not survive the shock'. Then Lakshmana could not further control his emotions and broke down: api satyapratijñena sārdham kuśalinā vayam, nivṛtte samaye hy asmin sukhitāḥ praviśemahi/ 'Can we three after the termination of the fourteen vana vaasa return back to Ayodhya!' Thus Guha conveyed what all Lakshmana expressed keeping awake through out the night. He then concluded his recall to Bharata that at the next early morning Rama Sita Lakshmanas proceeded further looking somewat lost in thoughts into the forest even as were dressed with 'mriga charma' dresses.

Sarga Eighty Seven

On hearing details of Rama Sita Lakshmanas, Bharata swooned down, Shatrugna and the mothers cried away, and persisted on the details of the threesome regardin their food and sleeping patterns.

Guhasya vacanam śrutvā bharato bhṛśam apriyam, dhyānam jagāma tatraiva yatra tac chrutam apriyam/ sukumāro mahāsattvah simhaskandho mahābhujah, puṇḍarīka viśālākṣas taruṇah priyadarśanah/ pratyāśvasya muhūrtam tu kālam paramadurmanāḥ, papāta sahasā totrair hṛdi viddha iva dvipaḥ tadavastham tu bharatam śatrughno 'nantara sthitah, parisvajya rurodoccair visamiñah śokakarśitah/ tatah sarvāh samāpetur mātaro bharatasya tāh, upavāsa krśā dīnā bhartryvasanakarśitāh/ tāś ca tam patitam bhūmau rudantyah paryavārayan, kausalyā tv anusrtyainam durmanāh pariṣasvaje/ vatsalā svam vathā vatsam upagūhya tapasvinī, paripapraccha bharatam rudantī śokalālasā/ putravyādhir na te kaccic charīram paribādhate, asya rājakulasyāsyadya tvavadheenam hi jeevitam/Twaam drushtvaa putra jeevaami Raame sabhraatruke gate, vritte Dasharathe raagjni naatha ekas tvam adya nah/kaccin na laksmane putra śrutam te kim cid apriyam, putra vā hy ekaputrāyāh sahabhārye vanam gate/ sa muhūrtam samāśvasya rudann eva mahāyaśāh, kausalyām parisāntvyedam guham vacanam abravīt/ bhrātā me kvāvasad rātrim kva sītā kva ca laksmaṇaḥ, asvapac chayane kasmin kim bhuktvā guha śamsa me/ so 'bravīd bharatam pṛṣṭo niṣādādhipatir guhaḥ, yad vidham pratipede ca rāme priyahite 'tithau/ annam uccāvacam bhaksyāh phalāni vividhāni ca, rāmāyābhyayahārārtham bahucopahrtam mayā/ tat sarvam pratyanujñāsīd rāmah satyaparākramah, na hi tat pratyagrhnāt sa ksatradharmam anusmaran na hy asmābhiḥ pratigrāhyam sakhe deyam tu sarvadā, iti tena vayam rājann anunītā mahātmanā/ laksmanena samānītam pītvā vāri mahāyaśāh, aupavāsyam tadākārsīd rāghavah saha sītayā/ tatas tu jalaśesena laksmano 'py akarot tadā, vāg yatās te trayah samdhyām upāsata samāhitāh/ saumitris tu tatah paścād akarot svāstaram śubham, svayam ānīya barhīmsi ksipram rāghava kāranāt/ tasmin samāvisad rāmaḥ svāstare saha sītayā, prakṣālya ca tayoḥ pādāv apacakrāma lakṣmaṇaḥ/ etat tad ingudīmūlam idam eva ca tat tṛṇam, yasmin rāmas ca sītā ca rātrim tām sayitāv ubhau/ niyamya pṛṣṭhe tu talāngulitravān; śaraih supūrņāv iṣudhī paramtapah, mahad dhanuh sajyam upohya lakṣmano; niśām atiṣṭhat parito 'sya kevalam/ tatas tv aham cottamabāṇacāpadhṛk; sthito 'bhavam tatra sa yatra laksmanah, atandribhir jñātibhir āttakārmukair; mahendrakalpam paripālayams tadā/

Having heard the narration of what Nishada King and the latter's reactions expressed by Lakshmana before proceeding to dandakaranya, Bharata was shaken off his senses and had a vague feeling whether

Rama would or would not agree to return to Ayodhya now! Bharata then lost his balance of mind and swooned down as though a huge tree was uprooted by an earth quake! Shatrughna was nearby and broke down. The mothers Kausalya-Sumitra-and Kaikeyi too surrounded and since they were on fast, they too were looking pale and helpless. As a mother cow caresses her calf in a similar situation, Devi Kousalya drew the sons on her lap and wept stating: 'putravvādhir na te kaccic charīram paribādhate, asva rājakulasyāsyadya tvavadheenam hi jeevitam/Twaam drushtvaa putra jeevaami Raame sabhraatruke gate, vritte Dasharathe raagjni naatha ekas tvam adya nah/ Dear son Bharata!!Have you been affected by a body injury or mental shock that you are in this state! Now you are the single hope for this vamsha. I am surviving only due to you as my shelter Rama Lakshmanas had already gone away and King Dasharatha had left me too anyway.!'. Then as Devi Kaushalya was feeling distressed, Bharata gradually recovered slowly and addressed Koushalya that he had since recovered. Then he addressed Guha to explain vividly as to where Rama Sitas, where was Lakshmana then, whether or what did they eat and sleep! Guha replied that his followers brought plentiful food which they were satisfied with. But when Guha offered several gifts, he had politely declined stating that Kshatriyas in general and Kings in particular would never accept gifts to others and should only offer. In the following night, Rama and Sita were on fast while Lakshmana accepted water only. Then Lakshmana himself made a comfortable bed for Rama Sitas and kept a vigil through out the night except the small hours of the day break. niyamya prsthe tu talāngulitravāñ; śaraih supūrnāv isudhī paramtapah, mahad dhanuh sajyam upohya laksmano; niśām atisthat parito 'sya kevalam/ tatas tv aham cottamabānacāpadhṛk; sthito 'bhavam tatra sa yatra lakşmanah, atandribhir jñātibhir āttakārmukair; mahendrakalpam paripālayams tadā/Lakshmana then lifted his arrows drawn carryirn on his back the arrows retainer on his back and by walking up and around the place of Rama Sita's resing bed, kept awake like Lord Indra being protected by various Devas.

Sarga Eighty Eight

Guha showed the bed of 'kusha grass' by which Sita Ramas slept on that night and the 'valkala vastras' left behind.

Tac chrutvā nipunam sarvam bharatah saha mantribhih, ingudīmūlam āgamva rāmaśavvām aveksva tām/ abravīj jananīḥ sarvā iha tena mahātmanā, śarvarī śayitā bhūmāv idam asya vimarditam/ mahābhāga kulīnena mahābhāgena dhīmatā, jāto daśarathenorvyām na rāmah svaptum arhati/ ajinottarasamstīrne varāstaranasamcaye, śayitvā purusavyāghrah katham sete mahītale/prāsādāgra vimānesu valabhīsu ca sarvadā, haimarājatabhaumesu varāstaranaśālisu/ puspasamcayacitresu candanāgarugandhisu, pāndurābhraprakāśesu śukasamgharutesu ca/gītavāditranirghosair varābharananihsvanaih, mṛdangavaraśabdaiś ca satatam pratibodhitah/ bandibhir vanditah kāle bahubhih sūtamāgadhaih, gāthābhir anurūpābhiḥ stutibhiś ca paramtapaḥ/ aśraddheyam idam loke na satyam pratibhāti mā, muhyate khalu me bhāvaḥ svapno 'yam iti me matiḥ/ na nūnam daivatam kim cit kālena balavattaram, vatra dāśarathī rāmo bhūmāv evam śavīta sah/videharājasva sutā sītā ca privadarśanā, davitā śavitā bhūmau snusā daśarathasva ca/ iyam śayvā mama bhrātur idam hi parivartitam, sthandile kathine sarvam gātrair vimrditam trṇam/ manye sābharaṇā suptā sītāsmiñ śayane tadā, tatra tatra hi drśyante saktāh kanakabindavah/ uttarīyam ihāsaktam suvyaktam sītayā tadā, tathā hy ete prakāśante saktāh kauśeyatantavah/ manye bhartuh sukhā śayyā yena bālā tapasvinī, sukumārī satī duhkham na vijānāti maithilī/ sārvabhauma kule jātah sarvalokasukhāvahah, sarvalokapriyas tyaktvā rājyam priyam anuttamam/ katham indīvaraśyāmo raktākṣaḥ priyadarśanaḥ, sukhabhāgī ca duḥkhārhaḥ śayito bhuvi rāghavaḥ/ siddhārthā khalu vaidehī patim yānugatā vanam, vayam samsayitāḥ sarve hīnās tena mahātmanā/ akarṇadhārā pṛthivī śūnyeva pratibhāti mā, gate daśarathe svarge rāme cāraṇyam āśrite/ na ca prārthayate kaś cin manasāpi vasumdharām, vane 'pi vasatas tasya bāhuvīryābhirakṣitām/ śūnyasamvaranāraksām ayantritahayadvipām, apāvrtapuradvārām rājadhānīm araksitām/ aprahṛstabalām nyūnām visamasthām anāvṛtām, śatravo nābhimanyante bhaksyān visakṛtān iva/ adya prabhṛti bhūmau tu śayiṣye 'ham tṛṇeṣu vā, phalamūlāśano nityam jaṭācīrāṇi dhārayan/ tasyārtham uttaram kālam nivatsvāmi sukham vane, tam pratiśravam āmucva nāsva mithvā bhavisvati/ vasantam

bhrātur arthāya śatrughno mānuvatsyati, lakṣmaṇena saha tv āryo ayodhyām pālayiṣyati/ abhiṣekṣyanti kākutstham ayodhyāyām dvijātayaḥ, api me devatāḥ kuryur imam satyam manoratham/ prasādyamānaḥ śirasā mayā svayam; bahuprakāram yadi na prapatsyate, tato 'nuvatsyāmi cirāya rāghavam; vane vasan nārhati mām upekṣitum/

As Nishada Raja explained to Bharata, the latter visioned that very grass made bed on which Rama slept and showed it to his mothers also. mahābhāga -kulīnena mahābhāgena dhīmatā, jāto daśarathenorvyām na rāmah svaptum arhati/ ajinottarasamstīrne varāstaranasamcave, śavitvā purusavvāghrah katham śete mahītale/ Mothers! Look at this dry grass bed made by Lakshmana on which King Dashratha's eldest son Rajakumara on earth! He had always lived in 'maha bhavanas' with 'pushpaka vimana' like exteriors with high walls studded with gold and silver ornamentation of lavishness with readily envigorating 'sugandhas' and mild sounds of parrot chirpings and of inbuilt conditions of climate; such Shri Rama had now slept on grass beds! That Raja Kumara who was used to listening mild music of sonorous instruments, 'Vandee ganas' to praise his bravery and skills of archery, groups of Panditas never tired of showering blessings at every palace joints by which he would pass through had slept on earth! aśraddheyam idam loke na satyam pratibhāti mā, muhyate khalu me bhāvaḥ svapno 'yam iti me matiḥ/ na nūnam daivatam kim cit kālena balavattaram, yatra dāśarathī rāmo bhūmāv evam śayīta saḥ/ videharājasya sutā sītā ca priyadarśanā, dayitā śayitā bhūmau snusā daśarathasya ca/ Is this type of state of affairs ever imaginable; is this a fib of imagination or a bad dream! Look at the 'Kaala prabhava' or the impact of time that is affecting Devi Sita; this looks that she had slept as indicative of her golden bracelet imprinted on the dry grass on which she slept off due to continuous strain of hard, weary and long walks in the forests ' in cognito'! manye bhartuh sukhā śayyā yena bālā tapasvinī, sukumārī satī duhkham na vijānāti maithilī/Bharata continued his address to his mothers: 'I feel that wives normally feel that her husbands expect the bed by which they sleep should be hard or soft as per the husband's choice; that must have been the reason why Devi Sita the frail female of royal family background had apparently never felt excepting by her husband's convenience and hence adjusted accordingly'. Having said so, Bharata had suddenly shouted with grief: Haa hatosmi nrishamshosmi yat sabharyah krite mama, eedrisheem raghayah shayyaamadhishetaa hyaanaathayat/ Haa! I am as good as dead, and my life is useless. I am so cruel and malicious as I am responsible of this mess; my life is a curse, as am squarely responsible of this treachery and betrayal! I am havin to see the kind of bed that Rama as a helpless human of extreme vulnerability! sārvabhauma kule jātah sarvalokasukhāvahah, sarvalokapriyas tyaktvā rājyam priyam anuttamam/ katham indīvaraśyāmo raktāksah priyadarśanah, sukhabhāgī ca duhkhārhah śayito bhuvi rāghavah/He being born of the background of a Chakravarti, who readily bestows relief to one and all, the outstanding blue lotus like body shine and with red lily like readily arresting looks, had discarded Kingship of glory! Behold him lying on this bed of dry grass! siddhārthā khalu vaidehī patim yānugatā vanam, vayam samsayitāh sarve hīnās tena mahātmanā/ Most undoubtedly, Videha nandini Devi Sita has proved herself as an outstanding pativrata of great renown and lasting memory to have never faltered in following Rama's footsteps!' Bharata further continued his musings: 'Maha Raja Dasharatha had become 'swarga vaasi'; Shri Rama had become ;'aranya vaasi'. Now, I feel in this situation, I seem to be wandering directionless as sailor lost in the deep ocean of self pity! adya prabhṛti bhūmau tu śayisye 'ham tṛnesu vā, phalamūlāśano nityam jatācīrāni dhārayan/ tasyārtham uttaram kālam nivatsyāmi sukham vane, tam pratiśravam āmucya nāsya mithyā bhavisyati/ From now onwaed my resolution should be to sleep on bare earth, consume roots and fruits as food, and wear the deer skins as my apparel. The remainder time of forest life, I should also be contented with life. The 'pratigina' as per King Dasharatha's directive would then not be belied. vasantam bhrātur arthāya śatrughno mānuvatsyati, lakşmanena saha tv āryo ayodhyām pālayişyati/ abhişekşyanti kākutstham ayodhyāyām dvijātayah, api me devatāh kuryur imam satyam manoratham/ The required time of 'vana vaasa' would then be exchanged by me and Shatrugna in place of Rama Lakshmanas who should proceed to Ayodhya forthwith. Then in Ayodhya, Shri Rama should take over the reins of 'Rama Rajya'. prasādyamānah śirasā mayā svayam; bahuprakāram yadi na prapatsyate, tato 'nuvatsyāmi cirāya rāghavam; vane vasan nārhati mām upeksitum/ Bharata now makes the ultimate resolve: 'I will most certainly keep my head at

Shri Rama's feet and endeavour my very best to grant me the wish to return to Ayodhya and take over the Kingship which is deserved as per tradition and exchange with my forest life as per the late King's wish!

Sarga Eighty Nine

Bharata accompanied by sena, mothers, Munis and public arrives at Bharadvaaja ashram

Vyusya rātrim tu tatraiva gangākūle sa rāghavaḥ, bharataḥ kālyam utthāya śatrughnam idam abravīt/ śatrughottiṣṭha kim śeṣe niṣādādhipatim guham, śīghram ānaya bhadram te tārayiṣyati vāhinīm/ jāgarmi nāham svapimi tathaivāryam vicintavan, itv evam abravīd bhrātrā śatrughno 'pi pracoditah/ iti samvadator evam anyonyam narasimhayoh, āgamya prāñjalih kāle guho bharatam abravīt/kaccit sukham nadītīre 'vātsīh kākutstha śarvarīm, kaccic ca saha sainyasya tava sarvam anāmayam/ guhasya tat tu vacanam śrutvā snehād udīritam, rāmasyānuvaśo vākyam bharato 'pīdam abravīt/ sukhā nah śarvarī rājan pūjitāś cāpi te vayam, gangām tu naubhir bahvībhir dāśāh samtārayantu nah/ tato guhah samtvaritah śrutvā bharataśāsanam, pratipraviśya nagaram tam jñātijanam abravīt/ uttisthata prabudhyadhvam bhadram astu hi vaḥ sadā, nāvaḥ samanukarṣadhvam tārayiṣyāma vāhinīm/ te tathoktāḥ samutthāya tvaritā rājaśāsanāt, pañca nāvām śatāny eva samāninyuḥ samantataḥ/ anyāḥ svastikavijñeyā mahāghandā dharā varāh, śobhamānāh patākinyo yuktavātāh susamhatāh/ tatah svastikavijñeyām pāndukambalasamvṛtām, sanandighosām kalyānīm guho nāvam upāharat/ tām āruroha bharataḥ śatrughnaś ca mahābalaḥ, kausalyā ca sumitrā ca yāś cānyā rājayoṣitaḥ/ purohitaś ca tat pūrvam gurave brāhmaṇāś ca ye, anantaram rājadārās tathaiva śakaṭāpaṇāḥ/ āvāsam ādīpayatām tīrtham cāpy avagāhatām, bhāṇḍāni cādadānānām ghoṣas tridivam aspṛśat/ patākinyas tu tā nāvaḥ svayam dāśair adhişthitāh, vahantyo janam ārūḍham tadā sampetur āśugāḥ/ nārīṇām abhipūrṇās tu kāś cit kāś cit tu vājinām, kaś cit tatra vahanti sma yānayugyam mahādhanam/ tāh sma gatvā param tīram avaropya ca tam janam, nivṛttāh kāndacitrāni kriyante dāśabandhubhih/ savaijayantās tu gajā gajārohaih pracoditāh, tarantah sma prakāśante sadhvajā iva parvatāh/ nāvaś cāruruhus tv anye plavais terus tathāpare, anye kumbhaghatais terur anye teruś ca bāhubhih/ sā punyā dhvajinī gangām dāśaih samtāritā svavam, maitre muhūrte pravavau pravāgavanam uttamam/ āśvāsavitvā ca camūm mahātmā; niveśayitvā ca yathopajoṣam, draṣṭum bharadvājam ṛṣipravaryam; ṛtvig vṛtaḥ san bharataḥ pratasthe/

At the Shringaverapura on the banks of the Sacred Ganga, the morning next Bharata woke up and addressed Shatrughna and asked him to ask Nishada King Guha soon to cross the river by his boat. Shatrughna replied that he too was not asleep like Bharata through the night thinking of Rama on the lines of Bharata. Meanwhile, Nishada Raja arrived and with folded hands and enquired whether their stay over night was satisfactory enough. Bharata thanked Guha profusely and requested him to arrange the sacred Ganga as soon as possible. Then Guha alerted his boatsmen and got five hunded boats in position to ferry the army men too. Besides a special house boat named 'Swastika' too was arranged with well decorated carpets and soft cushions to lean back; this was able to navigate Purohitas, Gurus, Brahmana Panditas, Bharata Shatrughnas, Devis Kousalya- Sumitra- Kaikeyis, and select Raja Parivaara, and chosen women too. As the massive number of boats were flooded with soldiers there were inevitable sky high shouts, noises and confusion. Some of the boats were exclusively meant for women only. Likewise, they were earmarked for horses, cattle, donkeys and oxen. The sturdy boatsmen raced up and soon enough reached the other banks. The public and the heavy influx of soldiers were asked to rest in the Prayaga vana. Then Bharata Shatrughnas along with select Deva Purohitas and Veda Brahmanas proceeded to the ashram of Maharshi Bharadvaaja.

Sarga Ninety

Bharata visits Bharadwaja 'ashram'

Bharadvājāśramam drstvā krośād eva nararsabhah, balam sarvam avasthāpya jagāma saha mantribhih/ padbhyām eva hi dharmajño nyastaśastraparicchadah, vasāno vāsasī ksaume purodhāya purohitam/ tatah samdarsane tasya bharadvājasya rāghavah, mantrinas tān avasthāpya jagāmānu purohitam/ vasiştham atha drştvaiva bharadvājo mahātapāh,samcacālāsanāt tūrņam sişyān arghyam iti bruvan/ samāgamya vasisthena bharatenābhivāditah, abudhyata mahātejāh sutam daśarathasya tam/ tābhyām arghyam ca pādyam ca dattvā paścāt phalāni ca, ānupūrvyāc ca dharmajñaḥ papraccha kuśalam kule/ ayodhyāyām bale kośe mitreşv api ca mantrişu, jānan daśaratham vṛttam na rājānam udāharat/ vasiṣṭho bharataś cainam papracchatur anāmayam, śarīre 'gnişu vṛkṣeṣu śiṣyeṣu mṛgapakṣiṣu/ tatheti ca pratijñāya bharadvājo mahātapāḥ, bharatam pratyuvācedam rāghavasnehabandhanāt/ kim ihāgamane kāryam tava rājyam praśāsatah, etad ācaksva me sarvam na hi me śudhyate manah/ susuve yama mitraghnam kausalyānandavardhanam, bhrātrā saha sabhāryo yaś ciram pravrājito vanam/ niyuktah strīniyuktena pitrā yo 'sau mahāyaśāh, vanavāsī bhavetīha samāh kila caturdaśa/ kaccin na tasyāpāpasya pāpam kartum ihecchasi, akantakam bhoktumanā rājyam tasyānujasya ca/ evam ukto bharadvājam bharatah pratyuvāca ha, paryaśru nayano duḥkhād vācā samsajjamānayā/ hato 'smi yadi mām evam bhagavān api manyate, matto na dosam āśanker naivam mām anuśādhi hi/ na caitad istam mātā me yad avocan madantare, nāham etena tuṣṭaś ca na tad vacanam ādade/ ahaṁ tu taṁ naravyāghram upayātaḥ prasādakaḥ, pratinetum ayodhyām ca pādau tasyābhivanditum/ tvam mām evam gatam matvā prasādam kartum arhasi, śamsa me bhagavan rāmah kva samprati mahīpatih/ uvāca tam bharadvājah prasādād bharatam vacah, tvayy etat purusavyāghram yuktam rāghavavamsaje, guruvrttir damaś caiva sādhūnām cānuyāyitā/ jāne caitan manaḥstham te dṛḍhīkaraṇam astv iti, apṛccham tvām tavātyartham kīrtim samabhivardhayan/ asau vasati te bhrātā citrakūţe mahāgirau, śvas tu gantāsi tam deśam vasādya saha mantribhiḥ, etam me kuru suprājña kāmam kāmārthakovida/ tatas tathety evam udāradarśanah; pratītarūpo bharato 'bravīd vacah, cakāra buddhim ca tadā mahāśrame; niśānivāsāya narādhipātmajah/

Bharata having retained back the visitors from Ayodhya some good distance, approached the ashram of Maha Muni Bharadwaaja. He discarded his astra-shastras and royal robes but wearing only the silk clothes and keeping Maharshi Vasishtha the Purohita and senior discipless ahead and proceeded along with the ministers. As he entered the ashram, he had the 'darshan' of Bharadwaaja. As Maharshi Vasishtha was in the lead, Bharadwaaja welcomed him and asked his sishyas to fetch 'arghya' to him and the followers. As Bharata touched the Maha Munis feet, instantly he recognised Bharata as the son of King Dasharatha. Bharadwaja was well aware of King Dasharatha's death and hence he did not mention of the same. Vasishtha enquired of Muni Bharadvaja of his welfare, agnihotraadi shubha kaaryas, about his desciples, and so on. Then the Muni asked Bharata: 'kim ihāgamane kāryam tava rājyam praśāsatah, etad ācakṣva me sarvam na hi me śudhyate manah/ suṣuve yama mitraghnam kausalyānandavardhanam, bhrātrā saha sabhāryo yaś ciram pravrājito vanam/ niyuktah strīniyuktena pitrā yo 'sau mahāyaśāḥ, vanavāsī bhavetīha samāḥ kila caturdaśa/ Are you not the King of Ayodhya now! What has brought you here! I am not able to believe this! I am aware that your father instructed Shri Rama the symbol of dharma and glory was banished for Vana Vaasa for fourteen years due to the ill justified advice of one of his wives and accordingly Rama's his wife and brother too accompanied him. Indeed this was most improper and blameworthy!' As Bharadwaja admonished Bharata, the latter started crying away and replied the Maha Muni in the most pathetic and low tone as follows: hato 'smi yadi mām evam bhagavān api manyate, matto na dosam āśanker naivam mām anuśādhi hi/ na caitad istam mātā me yad avocan madantare, nāham etena tuṣṭaś ca na tad vacanam ādade/ Mahatma! It is most unfortunate that You as a Maha Muni too has a feeling against me and my traditional values of 'dharma'. May I assure you as I have no role or even the remote inkling of Rama's vana vaasa and very kindly do not ever reiterate that hard hit on my psyche! What ever had been viciously planned and executed by my evil mother was indeed my fate for which I regret most and am prepared to reverse the misdeed on myself! aham tu tam naravyāghram upayātah prasādakah, pratinetum ayodhyām ca pādau tasyābhivanditum/ tvam mām evam gatam matvā prasādam kartum arhasi, śamsa me bhagavan rāmaḥ kva samprati mahīpatiḥ/ I have essentially come here only to prostrate and plead Shri Rama to kindly return to Ayodhya and take over the kingship. Bhagavan! I should most humbly request you to let me know as to the whereabouts of Shri Rama!' Subsequently, Maharshi Vasishtha and other Maha Munis too cmmended the sincerity of Bharata Kumara. Then Bharadwaaja Maha Muni addressed Bharata: 'I am indeed aware that you are the progeny of Raghu Vamsha and the traits of Gurujana seva, self control, dharmika chintana, are transparent in you! Yet, jāne caitan manahstham te dṛḍhīkaraṇam astv iti, apṛccham tvām tavātyartham kīrtim samabhivardhayan/ Purusha simha Bharata! I am totally aware of your pure heartedness and your strong desire to request Shri Rama to return, but I had actually wished your desisiveness to get further sharper and more effective and hence my erstwhile reprimand to you. May you be blessed to have your wish fulfilled. Jaanena Ramam dharmagjnam sa Seetam saha Lakshmanam, ayam vasati te bhraataa Chitrakute Maha girou/ I am indeed aware of the where abouts of Rama Sita Lakshmanas; they are comfortably settled at Chitrakoota Mountain.' Having thus informed Bharata, Maha Muni Bharadwaaja instructed Bharata to rest at the ashram along the Maharshi Vasishtha and others besides his ministers over night and move forward the next morning.

Sarga Ninety One

Bharadvaja bestows Bharata and entire entourage including vast army a heavenly hospitality

Kṛtabuddhim nivāsāya tathaiya sa munis tadā, bharatam kaikayī putram ātithyena nyamantrayat/ abravīd bharatas tv enam nanv idam bhavatā kṛtam, pādyam arghyam tathātithyam vane yad ūpapadyate/ athovāca bharadvājo bharatam prahasann iva, jāne tvām prīti samyuktam tuşyes tvam yena kena cit/ senāyās tu tavaitasyāḥ kartum icchāmi bhojanam, mama pritir yathā rūpā tvam arho manujarsabha/ kimartham cāpi niksipya dūre balam ihāgatah, kasmān nehopayāto 'si sabalah purusar sabha/ bharatah pratyuvācedam prānjalis tam tapodhanam, sasainyo nopayāto 'smi bhagavan bhagavad bhayāt/ vāji mukhyā manusyāś ca mattāś ca vara vāranāh, pracchādya mahatīm bhūmim bhagavann anuyānti mām/ te vṛksān udakam bhūmim āśramesūtajāms tathā, na himsyur iti tenāham eka evāgatas tataḥ/ānīyatām itaḥ senety ājñaptaḥ paramarṣinā, tathā tu cakre bharataḥ senāyāḥ samupāgamam/ agniśālām praviśvātha pītvāpah parimriya ca, ātithvasva krivāhetor viśvakarmānam āhvayat/ āhvaye viśvakarmānam aham tvastāram eva ca, ātithvam kartum icchāmi tatra me samvidhīvatām/ prāk srotasaś ca yā nadyaḥ pratyak srotasa eva ca, pṛthivyām antarikṣe ca samāyāntv adya sarvaśaḥ/ anyāḥ sravantu maireyam surām anyāh sunisthitām, aparāś codakam śītam iksukāndarasopamam/āhvaye devagandharvān viśvāvasuhahāhuhūn, tathaivāpsaraso devīr gandharvīś cāpi sarvaśah/ghrtācīm atha viśvācīm miśrakeśīm alambusām, śakram yāś copatisthanti brahmānam yāś ca bhāminīh, sarvās tumburunā sārdham āhvaye saparicchadāh/ vanam kurusu yad divyam vāso bhūsanapatravat, divyanārīphalam śaśvat tat kauberam ihaiva tu/iha me bhagavān somo vidhattām annam uttamam, bhakşyam bhojyam ca coşyam ca lehyam ca vividham bahu/ vicitrāni ca mālyāni pādapapracyutāni ca, surādīni ca peyāni māmsāni vividhāni ca/ evam samādhinā yuktas tejasāpratimena ca, śikṣāsvarasamā vuktam tapasā cābravīn munih/manasā dhyāvatas tasva prānmukhasva krtānjaleh, ājagmus tāni sarvāni daivatāni pṛthakpṛthak/ malayam durduram caiva tataḥ svedanudo 'nilaḥ, upaspṛśya vavau yuktyā supriyātmā sukhaḥ śivaḥ/ tato 'bhyavartanta ghanā divyāḥ kusumavṛṣṭayaḥ, devadundubhighoṣaś ca diksu sarvāsu śuśruve/ pravavuś cottamā vātā nanṛtuś cāpsaroganāh, prajagur devagandharvā vīnā pramumucuh svarān/ sa śabdo dyām ca bhūmim ca prāninām śravanāni ca, viveśoccāritah ślaksnah samo layagunānvitah/ tasminn uparate śabde divye śrotrasukhe nṛnām, dadarśa bhāratam sainyam vidhānam viśvakarmaṇah/ babhūva hi samā bhūmih samantāt pañcayojanam, śādvalair bahubhiś channā nīlavaidūryasamnibhaih/ tasmin bilvāh kapitthāś ca panasā bījapūrakāh, āmalakyo babhūvuś ca cūtāś ca phalabhūṣaṇāh/ uttarebhyaḥ kurubhyaś ca vanaṁ divyopabhogavat, ājagāma nadī divyā tīrajair bahubhir vṛtā/ catuḥśālāni śubhrāṇi śālāś ca gajavājinām, harmyaprāsādasaṁghātās toraṇāni śubhāni ca/ sitameghanibham cāpi rājaveśma sutoranam, śuklamālyakṛtākāram divyagandhasamuksitam/ caturasram asambādham sayanāsanayānavat, divyaih sarvarasair yuktam divyabhojanavastravat/ upakalpita sarvānnam dhautanirmalabhājanam, kļptasarvāsanam śrīmat svāstīrņaśayanottamam/ praviveśa mahābāhur anujñāto maharsinā, veśma tad ratnasampūrnam bharatah kaikavīsutah/

anujagmuś ca tam sarve mantrinah sapurohitāh, babhūvuś ca mudā yuktā tam drstvā veśma samvidhim/ tatra rājāsanam divyam vyajanam chatram eva ca, bharato mantribhih sārdham abhyavartata rājavat/ āsanam pūjayām āsa rāmāyābhipraṇamya ca, vālavyajanam ādāya nyasīdat sacivāsane/ ānupūrvyān niṣeduś ca sarve mantrapurohitāḥ, tataḥ senāpatiḥ paścāt praśāstā ca niṣedatuḥ/ tatas tatra muhūrtena nadyah pāyasakardamāh, upātisthanta bharatam bharadyājasya śāsanat/ tāsām ubhayatah kūlam pāṇḍumṛttikalepanāḥ, ramyāś cāvasathā divyā brahmaṇas tu prasādajāḥ/ tenaiva ca muhūrtena divyābharaṇabhūṣitāḥ, āgur vimśatisāhasrā brāhmaṇā prahitāḥ striyaḥ/ suvarṇamaṇimuktena pravālena ca śobhitāh, āgur viṃśatisāhasrāh kuberaprahitāh striyah/ yābhir grhītah purusah sonmāda iya laksyate, āgur vimsatisāhasrā nandanād apsaroganāh/ nāradas tumburur gopah parvatah sūryavarcasah, ete gandharvarājāno bharatasvāgrato jaguh/ alambusā miśrakeśī pundarīkātha vāmanā, upānrtvams tu bharatam bharadvājasya śāsanāt/ yāni mālyāni devesu yāni caitrarathe vane, prayāge tāny adrśyanta bharadvājasya śāsanāt/ bilvā mārdangikā āsañ śamyā grāhā bibhītakāh, aśvatthā nartakāś cāsan bharadvājasya tejasā/ tataḥ saralatālāś ca tilakā naktamālakāḥ, praḥṛṣṭās tatra sampetuḥ kubjābhūtātha vāmanāh/ śimśapāmalakī jambūr yāś cānyāh kānane latāh, pramadā vigraham kṛtvā bharadvājāśrame 'vasan/ surām surāpāh pibata pāvasam ca bubhukśitāh, māmsani ca sumedhvāni bhaksvantām vāvad icchatha/ utsādya snāpayanti sma nadītīresu valgusu, apy ekam ekam purusam pramadāḥ satpa cāsta ca/ samvahantyah samāpetur nāryo ruciralocanāḥ, parimṛjya tathā nyāyam pāyayanti varānganāḥ/ hayān gajān kharān ustrāms tathaiva surabheh sutān, iksūms ca madhujālāms ca bhojayanti sma vāhanān, iksvākuvarayodhānām codayanto mahābalāh/ nāśvabandho 'śvam ājānān na gajam kuñjaragrahah, mattapramattamuditā camūḥ sā tatra sambabhau/ tarpitā sarvakāmais te raktacandanarūṣitāḥ, apsaroganasamvuktāh sainvā vācam udairavan/ naivāvodhvām gamisvāmo na gamisvāma dandakān, kuśalam bharatasyāstu rāmasyāstu tathā sukham/ iti pādātayodhāś ca hastyaśvārohabandhakāḥ, anāthās tam vidhim labdhvā vācam etām udairayan/ samprahrstā vinedus te narās tatra sahasraśah, bharatasyānuyātārah svarge 'yam iti cābruvan/ tato bhuktavatām tesām tad annam amrtopamam, divyān udvīksya bhaksyāms tān abhavad bhaksane matih/ presyāś cetyaś ca vadhvaś ca balasthāś cāpi sarvaśah, babhūvus te bhrśam trptāh sarve cāhatavāsasah/ kuñjarāś ca kharostraś ca go'śvāś ca mṛgapaksinah, babhūvuḥ subhṛtās tatra nānyo hy anyam akalpayat/ nāśuklavāsās tatrāsīt kṣudhito malino 'pi vā, rajasā dhyastakeśo vā narah kaś cid adrśyata/ājaiś cāpi ca vārāhair nisthānayarasamcayaih, phalaniryūhasamsiddhaih sūpair gandharasānvitaih/puspadhvajavatīh pūrnāh śuklasvānnasva cābhitah, dadṛśur vismitās tatra narā lauhīḥ sahasraśaḥ babhūvur vanapārśveṣu kūpāḥ pāyasakardamāḥ, tāś ca kāmadughā gāvo drumāś cāsan madhuścyutah/ vāpyo maireya pūrnāś ca mrstamāmsacayair vrtāh, pratapta pitharaiś cāpi mārgamāyūrakaukkutaih/ pātrīnām ca sahasrāni śātakumbhamayāni ca, sthālyah kumbhyah karambhyaś ca dadhipūrnāh susamskrtāh, yauvanasthasya gaurasya kapitthasya sugandhinah/ hradāh pūrnā rasālasya dadhnah śvetasya cāpare, babhūvuh pāyasasyānte śarkarāyāś ca samcayāh/ kalkāms cūrņakasāyāms ca snānāni vividhāni ca, dadrsur bhājanasthāni tīrthesu saritām narāh suklān amśumataś cāpi dantadhāvanasamcayān, śuklāmś candanakalkāmś ca samudgeṣv avatiṣṭhatah/darpaṇān parimṛṣṭāmś ca vāsasām cāpi samcayān, pādukopānahām caiva yugmān yatra sahasraśaḥ/ āñjanīḥ kankatān kūrcāms chatrāni ca dhanūmsi ca, marmatrānāni citrāni savanānv āsanāni ca/pratipānahra dān pūrnān kharostragajavājinām, avagāhya sutīrthāms ca hradān sotpala puskarān/ nīlavaidūryavarṇāms ca mṛdūn yavasasamcayān, nirvāpārtham pasūnām te dadṛsus tatra sarvasaḥ/ vyasmayanta manusyās te svapnakalpam tad adbhutam, drstvātithyam kṛtam tādṛg bharatasya maharsinā/ ity evam ramamānānām devānām iva nandane, bharadvājāśrame ramye sā rātrir vyatyavartata/ pratijagmuś ca tā nadyo gandharvāś ca yathāgatam, bharadvājam anujñāpya tāś ca sarvā varānganāh/ tathaiva mattā madirotkaṭā narās; tathaiva divyāgurucandanokṣitāḥ, tathaiva divyā vividhāḥ sraguttamāḥ; pṛthakprakīrṇā manujaiḥ pramarditāḥ/

As Bharata expressed his doubt whether the Muni Ashram was equipped enough to provide hospitality overnight including food and night long rest, Maha Muni Bharadwaja smiled and said as to why did he not bring the entire Sena also! Bharata replied that the 'sena' was huge and had been equipped with elephants, horses, oxen, cows and so on too. At the express instruction of the Maha Muni, Bharata had somewhat hesitantly gave a comman to let the army too to arrive at the 'ashram'. Then Bharadwaaja

entered the 'Agni shaala' or the Fire Abode of the ashram and invoked Vishvakarma and the related devatas. Further, he invoked Indraadi Lokapalakas including Yama-Varuna-Kubera and prayed to them to arrange for the hospitality of Bharata along with his army and public. He then invoked Prithvi, Aakaasha, Rivers flowing westward so as to sweet and cold waters. Maha Muni further invoked Vishvaavasu, Haahaa-Hoohu Deva-Gandharvas, Apsaras like Ghritachi-Vishvaachi- Mishrakeshi-Alambusha Nagadatta-Hema- Soma-Adrikritasthali-Indra sabha's devanganas- Tumbura-Nritya Geeta ukta vanitasand so on. Maha Muni further invoked Chaitra Ratha Gardens of north placed Kuruvarsha with divine robed women supplying clothing, sweet fruits, ornaments, and bhakshya-bhojya- lehya - chokshyapaaneeyaas besides enormous supply of celestial scented flowers. Maha Muni further invoked being seated eastward with extreme concentration invoked one by one of mountains named Malaya-Durdura and so on to forward cool and fragrant winds- the celestial clouds to shower scented flowers and distant lightnings and thunder sounds. Vayu Deva was invoked to provide visions of Apsara nrityaas, and experiences of sweet 'Deva Gandharva Gaana'. As a result, the nearby earth of five yojanas of rectangle got soft, even and squattable with comfort. All around that even land had sprung up tall and solid trees like Bilva-Kapittha-Panasa- Beejapoora-Aamakaka/ mango-with ripe fruits and colourful scented flowers/ presyāś cetyaś ca vadhvaś ca balasthāś cāpi sarvaśaḥ, babhūvus te bhṛśam tṛptāḥ sarve cāhatavāsasaḥ/ Thus as per the instruction of the Maha Muni, Bharata entered a huge hall with decorated walls with golden pillars, as followed bt Purohitas, Veda Brahmanas, Minsters, Senapatis, and others. āsanam pūjayām āsa rāmāyābhipranamya ca, vālavyajanam ādāya nyasīdat sacivāsane/ On being directed to a special throne, Bharata then visualised Shri Rama was worthy of occupying it and greeted it in the name of Rama, perambulated it with veneration as followed by the ministers and then occupied the same. Thereafter, Vasishta Maharshi and co-purohitas, Ministers, Senapati and others tok to their seats as per protocol. Thereafter, celestial dancers and singers including apsaras, Narada Tumburaadi Gandharvas rendered their respective fine arts. The thousands of Ayodhya soldiers who were in raptures shouting with the surfiet of entertainment of wine, dance, music asserted: naivāyodhyām gamisyāmo na gamisyāma dandakān, kuśalam bharatasyāstu rāmasyāstu tathā sukham/ iti pādātayodhāś ca hastyaśvārohabandhakāh, anāthās tam vidhim labdhvā vācam etām udairayan/ We would not like to return to Avodhya nor further to 'dandakaranya' as we are blissful here at this 'bhutalala swarga'. Long live Bharata and long live Shri Rama! tato bhuktavatām tesām tad annam amrtopamam, divvān udvīksva bhakṣyāms tān abhavad bhakṣaṇe matiḥ/ preṣyāś ceṭyaś ca vadhvaś ca balasthāś cāpi sarvaśaḥ, babhūvus te bhrśam trptāh sarve cāhatavāsasah/ They further declared that the heavenly food in variety and taste was so fantastic that despite their bellies were saturated would still like to eat again and again! Servants and servant maids, soldiers and their wives were all glittering with a fantastic range of dresses and jewellery.

nāśuklavāsās tatrāsīt kṣudhito malino 'pi vā, rajasā dhvastakeśo vā naraḥ kaś cid adṛśyata/ Man-woman-Child, be it a soldier or family, a pandita or an official or a servant and maid were all dressed in purity, with stomachs saturated, their hairstyles trimmed and clean; the picturesque surrounnings were truly celestial. vyasmayanta manuṣyās te svapnakalpam tad adbhutam, dṛṣṭvātithyam kṛtam tādṛg bharatasya maharṣiṇā/ ity evam ramamāṇānām devānām iva nandane, bharadvājāśrame ramye sā rātrir vyatyavartata/ The heavenly hospitality thus extended by Maha Muni Bhradwaja was like an unimaginable experience of a dream par excellence! The ashram seemed to be a replica of swarga and one and all from Bharata-to- any being who accompanied him was a celestial dream come true in one's own lifetime!

Sarga Ninety Two

Bharata introduces his three mothers and Bharadvaja blesses them and indicates the way to Chitrakoota

Tatas tām rajanīm uṣya bharataḥ saparicchadaḥ, kr̥tātithyo bharadvājam kāmād abhijagāma ha/ tam rṣiḥ puruṣavyāghram prekṣya prāñjalim āgatam, hutāgnihotro bharatam bharadvājo 'bhyabhāṣata/

kaccid atra sukhā rātris tavāsmadvisaye gatā, samagras te janah kaccid ātithye śaṃsa me 'nagha/ tam uvācāñjalim krtvā bharato 'bhipranamya ca, āśramād abhiniskrantam rsim uttama tejasam/ sukhosito 'smi bhagavan samagrabalavāhanah, tarpitah sarvakāmaiś ca sāmātyo balavat tvayā/ apetaklamasamtāpāh subhakṣyāḥ supratiśrayāḥ, api preṣyān upādāya sarve sma susukhoṣitāḥ/ āmantraye 'ham bhagayan kāmam tyām rsisattama, samīpam prasthitam bhrātur maireneksasya caksusā/ āśramam tasya dharmajña dhārmikasya mahātmanah, ācakṣva katamo mārgah kiyān iti ca śamsa me/ iti pṛṣṭas tu bharatam bhrātṛdarśanalālasam, pratyuvāca mahātejā bharadvājo mahātapāḥ/ bharatārdhatrtīvesu vojanesv ajane vane, citrakūto giris tatra ramvanirdarakānanah/ uttaram pārśvam āsādya tasya mandākinī nadī, puspitadrumasamchannā ramyapuspitakānanā/ anantaram tat saritas citrakūtas ca parvatah, tato parnakutī tāta tatra tau vasato dhruvam/ daksinenaiva mārgena savyadaksinam eva ca, gajavājirathākīrnām vāhinīm vāhinīpate, vāhayasva mahābhāga tato draksyasi rāghavam/ prayānam iti ca śrutvā rājarājasya vositah, hitvā yānāni yānārhā brāhmanam paryavārayan/ vepamānā kṛśā dīnā saha devyā sumantriyā, kausalyā tatra jagrāha karābhyām caraṇau muneh/ asamrddhena kāmena sarvalokasva garhitā, kaikevī tasva jagrāha caranau savvapatrapā/ tam pradaksinam āgamya bhagayantam mahāmunim, adūrād bharatasyaiya tasthau dīnamanās tadā/ tatah papraccha bharatam bharadvājo drdhavratah, višesam jñātum icchāmi mātrnām tava rāghava/ evam uktas tu bharato bharadvājena dhārmikaḥ, uvāca prāñjalir bhūtvā vākyam vacanakovidaḥ/ yām imām bhagavan dīnām śokān aśanakarśitām, pitur hi mahisīm devīm devatām iva paśyasi/ esā tam purusavyāghram simhavikrāntagāminam, kausalyā susuve rāmam dhātāram aditir yathā/asyā vāmabhujam ślistā yaisā tisthati durmanāh, karnikārasya śākheva śīrņapuspā vanāntare/ etasyās tau sutau devyāḥ kumārau devavarṇinau, ubhau lakṣmaṇaśatrughnau vīrau satyaparākramau/ yasyāḥ kṛte narayāghrau jīvanāśam ito gatau, rājā putravihīnaś ca svargam daśaratho gataḥ/ aiśvaryakāmām kaikeyīm anāryām āryarūpinīm, mamaitām mātaram viddhi nrsamsām pāpaniscayām, yatomūlam hi paśyāmi vyasanam mahad ātmanah/ ity uktvā naraśārdūlo bāspagadgadayā girā, sa niśaśvāsa tāmrākso kruddho nāga ivāsakṛt/ bharadvājo maharsis tam bruvantam bharatam tadā, pratyuvāca mahābuddhir idam vacanam arthavat/ na dosenāvagantavyā kaikeyī bharata tvayā, rāmapravrājanam hy etat sukhodarkam bhavişyati/ abhivādya tu samsiddhah kṛtvā cainam pradakṣiṇam, āmantrya bharatah sainvam vujvatām itv acodavat/ tato vājirathān vuktvā divvān hemapariskritān, adhvārohat pravānārthī bahūn bahuvidho janah/ gajakanyāgajāś caiva hemakaksyāh patākinah, jīmūtā iva gharmānte saghosāh sampratasthire/ vividhāny api yānāni mahāni ca laghūni ca, prayayuḥ sumahārhāṇi pādair eva padātayah/ atha yānapravekais tu kausalyāpramukhāh striyah, rāmadarsanakānksinyah prayayur muditās tadā/ sa cārkatarunābhāsām niyuktām śibikām śubhām, āsthāya prayayau śrīmān bharataḥ saparicchadah/ sā prayātā mahāsenā gajavājirathākulā, daksinām diśam āvrtya mahāmegha ivotthitah, vanāni tu vyatikramya justāni mṛgapaksibhih/ sā samprahṛstadvipavājiyodhā; vitrāsayantī mṛgapakṣisaṁghān

mahad vanam tat pravigāhamānā; rarāja senā bharatasya tatra/

Next morning when Bharata decided to take leave of Maha Muni Bharadwaaja, he expressed his heartfelt gratitude stating: *sukhoṣito 'smi bhagavan samagrabalavāhanaḥ, tarpitaḥ sarvakāmaiś ca sāmātyo balavat tvayā*/ Mahatma! We all including the entire army, the retenue, and even the animals brought by us have been thoroughly contented. Now, we beseech you to very kindly inform as to how to reach Shri Rama ashrama, how much of distance and time involved! Bharadwaja replied that the distance should be approximately two and half yojanas - [see Sarga 54 above] and the place is named Chitrakoota Mountain; (as per today's reckoning the distance from Prayaga to Chitrakoota is approx.80 miles). The north of Chitrakoota flows River Mandakini and the intervening place is full of Beauty of Nature with plentiful flowers, fruits and of outstanding tranquility. The mid part of the river and the mountain is Shri Rama Ashrama situated in which the three famed personalities of Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas stay with peace. Then Bhardwaja Muni asked the Senapati to foremost follow the southern path along River Yamuna and should be able to reach Chitrakoota for Shri Rama darshana! As the entourage moved on slowly, the men and woman folk initiated their movement, Devi Koushalya was tired due to fastings and disturbed sleep pattern and was shivering as assisted by Devi Sumitra and touched the feet of Bharadwaaja. Then Devi

Kaikeyi too performed a 'pradakshina' and stood besides Bharata. Maha Muni then enquired about the Devis and Bharata replied: 'Bhagavan! That Maha Devi Kousalya who was looking blank, sorrowful and weak due to fastings is still mourning the death of King Dashratha and is the Prime Queen of Ayodhya. Eshaam tam purushavyaaghram simhavikraanta gaaminam, Kousalyaa sushuve Raamam dhaataaramaditiryathaa/ Just as Aditi gave birth to 'dwaadasha adityas' like Dhata, Kousalya Devi gave birth to Parakrama Purushasimha Shri Rama.

[Vishleshana on Dwadasha Adityas: Surya / Aditya Deva assumes twelve other Murti / Forms viz. Indra, Dhata, Parjanya, Pusha, Twashta, Aryama, Bhaga, Vivishwan, Amshu, Vishnu, Varuna and Mitra. Among these twelve Murthis, Indra was Chief of Devas ruling Amaravati and destroying Daityas and Danavas from time to time. **Dhata** being in the Status of Prajapati took up the task of Creation; Parjanya in the Form of Sun rays rained all over the Universe; Pusha is in the form of Mantras engaged for Prajaaposhana; Twashtha is present in the form of 'Vanaspati' and 'Aushadhi' (Vegetable Oils and Herbal Medicines); Aryama who provides protection and relief to humanity; Bhaga is in the form of Earth and Mountains; Viviswan in the form of Agni / Fire and is the cooking facilitator of food as also of the destroying power; the ninth name of Surya Deva is Amshu or of the form of Chandra Deva who provides coolness and pleasure of existence; Vishnu is the tenth name of Surya who constanly checks the evil forces in the World and slays Danavaas and establishes virtue from time to time by assuming Incarnations; Varuna is the eleventh appearance present in water as the source of life and fertility staying in Oceans, Rivers and various water profiles; and finally, Mitra or form of propitiousness and help to humanity. In whatever form he might be, Surya Deva is indeed the 'Karanam, Kaaranam and Karta' or the Act, Action and the Supreme Actor in the drama of Life! Bhakti (Devotion), Shraddha (fortitude) and Puja (Worship) sum up the meanings of human life! Indeed Shri Rama is the composite Swarupa of Dwadasha Aadityas!]

Sarga Ninety Two continued:

Standing next to Devi Kousalya is Sumitra Devi who too looks pale, sorrowful and jewellery discarded the mother of Lakshmana Shatrughnas. Then is Devi Kaikeyi: yasyāh krte narayāghrau jīvanāśam ito gatau, rājā putravihīnas ca svargam dasaratho gataḥ/ aisvaryakāmām kaikeyīm anāryām āryarūpiṇīm, mamaitām mātaram viddhi nrśamsām pāpaniścayām, yatomūlam hi paśyāmi vyasanam mahad ātmanah/And then you Maha Muni! You see Kaikeyi Devi owing to whom Purusha Simha Shri Rama-Devi Sita-and Lakshmana had to undergo the frightful and fourteen long 'vana vaasa' and the killer of Maha Raja Dashratha; she indeed is the symbol of cruelty, devilish, thoughtless, arrogant, selfish and schemy and suffers from inferiority complex of being bodily beautiful. I am indeed ashamed of calling her as my mother!' Having said that Bharata broke down with unstoppable cryings yet like hissings of a raised cobra. Then, Maha Muni Bharadwaaja stated: na dosenāvagantavyā kaikeyī bharata tvayā, rāmapravrāja -nam hv etat sukhodarkam bhavisvati/ abhivādva tu samsiddhah krtvā cainam pradaksinam, āmantrya bharatah sainyam yujyatām ity acodayat/ Bharata! Please do not see Devi Kaikeyi- your own mother- in this manner. Shri Rama's 'vana vaasa' would pass off peacefully. What is more significant is what Devatas- Danavas-and Maharshis who are always anchored to Parameshwara do strongly feel that these vicissitudes are for 'Loka Kalyana' in the near future! As the Maha Muni visualized the auguries of the auspicious future, he gave a warm send off to the highly motivated Bharata and his entourage.

Sarga Ninety Three

Bharata's Chitrakoota yatra described

Tayā mahatyā yāyinyā dhvajinyā vanavāsinaḥ, arditā yūthapā mattāḥ sayūthāḥ sampradudruvuḥ/ rkṣāḥ prṣatasamghāś ca ruravaś ca samantataḥ, drśyante vanarājīṣu giriṣv api nadīṣu ca/ sa sampratasthe dharmātmā prīto daśarathātmajaḥ, vrto mahatyā nādinyā senayā caturangayā/ sāgaraughanibhā senā

bharatasya mahātmanah, mahīm samchādayām āsa prāvrsi dyām ivāmbudah/ turamgaughair avatatā vāranaiś ca mahājavaih, anālaksvā ciram kālam tasmin kāle babhūva bhūh/ sa vātvā dūram adhvānam supariśrānta vāhanah, uvāca bharatah śrīmān vasiṣṭham mantriṇām varam/ yādṛśam lakṣyate rūpam yathā caiva śrutam mayā, vyaktam prāptāh sma tam deśam bharadvājo yam abravīt/ ayam giriś citrakūtas tathā mandākinī nadī, etat prakāśate dūrān nīlameghanibham vanam/ gireh sānūni ramvāni citrakūţasya samprati, vāranair avamrdyante māmakaih parvatopamaih/ muñcanti kusumāny ete nagāh parvatasānusu, nīlā ivātapāpāye toyam toyadharā ghanāh/ kinnarācaritoddeśam paśya śatrughna parvatam, hayaih samantād ākīrṇam makarair iva sāgaram/ ete mṛgagaṇā bhānti śīghravegāh pracoditāh, vāyupraviddhāh śaradi megharājya ivāmbare/ kurvanti kusumāpīdāñ śirahsu surabhīn amī, meghaprakāśaih phalakair dāksinātyā yathā narāha/ niskūjam iya bhūtyedam yanam ghorapradarśanam, ayodhyeva janākīrnā samprati pratibhāti mā/khurair udīrito renur divam pracchādya tisthati, tam vahaty anilah śīghram kurvann iva mama priyam/ syandanāms turagopetān sūtamukhyair adhisthitān, etān sampatatah śīghram paśya śatrughna kānane/ etān vitrāsitān paśya barhinah priyadarśanān, etam āviśataḥ śailam adhivāsam patatriṇām/ atimātram ayam deśo manojñaḥ pratibhāti mā, tāpasānām nivāso 'yam vyaktam svargapatho yathā/ mrgā mrgībhih sahitā bahayah prsatā yane manojña rūpā laksyante kusumair iva citritaḥ/ sādhu sainyāḥ pratiṣṭhantām vicinvantu ca kānanam, yathā tau puruṣavyāghrau dṛśyete rāmalakṣmaṇau/ bharatasya vacaḥ śrutvā puruṣāḥ śastrapāṇayaḥ, viviśus tad vanam śūrā dhūmam ca dadṛśus tatah/ te samālokya dhūmāgram ūcur bharatam āgatāh, nāmanusye bhavaty agnir vyaktam atraiva rāghavau/ atha nātra naravyāghrau rājaputrau paramtapau, anye rāmopamāh santi vyaktam atra tapasvinaḥ/ tac chrutvā bharatas teṣām vacanam sādhu sammatam, sainyān uvāca sarvāms tān amitrabalamardanah/yat tā bhavantas tiṣṭhantu neto gantavyam agrataḥ, aham eva gamiṣyāmi sumantro gurur eva ca/ evam uktās tataḥ sarve tatra tasthuḥ samantataḥ, bharato yatra dhūmāgram tatra dṛṣṭim samādadhat/ vyavasthitā yā bharatena sā camūr; nirīkṣamāṇāpi ca dhūmam agrataḥ, babhūva hṛstā nacirena jānatī; priyasya rāmasya samāgamam tadā/

As Bharara headed the Maha Sena with pomp and glory, on the arduous route one would vision a wide range of deers, semi- cruel animals, boars, and monkeys. The vast army of Bharata was akin to clouded sky of rainy season spread out a very long distance. The elephants, horses, chariots were lined up long. Considerable distance later, Bharata addressed Maharshi Vasishtha that it would appear as though the tops of Chitrakuta Mountain range were visible along side the River Mandakini. Then Bharata addressed Shatrughna: have you noticed that from the elevated range of mountains, one could see the long lines of horses there beneath and the dust raised by them was truly alarming. Dear brother! These surroundings are truly exhilarating to me as being picturesque just like the way ahead of swarga!' Totally awestruck then he passed down the instructions to the authorities of the army to get vigilant saying: sādhu sainyāh pratisthantām vicinvantu ca kānanam, yathā tau purusavyāghrau drśyete rāmalaksmaṇau/Let my army move ahead and make all out efforts to some how locate the Ashram of Rama-Sita- Lakshmanas. bharatasya vacah śrutvā puruṣāh śastrapāṇayah, viviśus tad vanam śūrā dhūmam ca dadṛśus tatah/ te samālokva dhūmāgram ūcur bharatam āgatāh, nāmanusve bhavatv agnir vyaktam atraiva rāghavau/ On receiving Bharata's instructions, some of the very courageous and core group of soldiers got spread out themselves in various directions with long swords and 'trishuulas' by their mighty hands. After long search by the dedicated men one of them discovered smoke on the sky; they realised that when human beings were not there then there would not be a smoke and when smoke would be visible there ought be fire and as fire were there could be Rama Sita Lakshmanas. Otherwise a 'maha tapasvi' is possibly present. yat tā bhavantas tiṣṭhantu neto gantavyam agrataḥ, aham eva gamiṣyāmi sumantro gurur eva ca/ In any case, be attentive and wait but do not rush in as I would go in slowly towards that specific place from where the smoke emerges. vyavasthitā yā bharatena sā camūr; nirīkṣamānāpi ca dhūmam agrataḥ, babhūva hṛṣṭā nacireṇa jānatī; priyasya rāmasya samāgamam tadā/ The entire army and the entourage stood still praying, holding their breath and hoping against hope that the time has arrived for the darshan of Shri Rama!

Sarga Ninety Four

Shri Rama shows the beauty and grandeur of Chitrakoota to Devi Sita

Dīrghakāloşitas tasmin girau girivanapriyah, videhyāh priyamākānksan svam ca cittam vilobhayan/ atha dāśarathiś citram citrakūtam adarśavat, bhāryām amarasamkāśah śacīm iva puramdarah/ na rājyād bhramsanam bhadre na suhrdbhir vinābhavah, mano me bādhate drstvā ramaṇīyam imam girim/ paśyemam acalam bhadre nānādvijaganāyutam, śikharaih kham ivodviddhair dhātumadbhir vibhūṣitam/ ke cid rajatasamkāśāh ke cit kṣatajasamnibhāḥ, pītamāñjiṣṭhavarṇāś ca ke cin maṇivaraprabhāḥ/ pusyārkaketukābhāś ca ke cij jyotī rasaprabhāh, virājante 'calendrasya deśā dhātuvibhūsitāh/ nānāmrgaganadvīpitaraksvṛksaganair vṛtah, adustair bhāty ayam śailo bahupaksisamākulah/ āmrajambvasanair lodhraih priyālaih panasair dhavaih, ankolair bhavyatiniśair bilvatindukavenubhih/ kāśmaryaristavaranair madhūkais tilakais tathā, badaryāmalakair nīpair vetradhanvanabījakaih/ puspavadbhih phalopetaiś chāyāvadbhir manoramaih, evamādibhir ākīrņah śriyam pusyaty ayam girih/ śailaprasthesu ramyesu paśyemān kāmaharsaṇān, kinnarān dvamdvaso bhadre ramamāṇān manasvinaļ/ śākhāvasaktān khadgāms ca pravarāny ambarāni ca, pasva vidvādharastrīnām krīded desān mano ramān/ jalaprapātair udbhedair niṣyandaiś ca kva cit kva cit, sravadbhir bhāty ayam śailaḥ sravan mada iva dvipaḥ/ guhāsamīraṇo gandhān nānāpuṣpabhavān vahan, ghrāṇatarpaṇam abhyetya kam naram na praharsayet/ yadīha śarado 'nekās tvayā sārdham anindite, laksmanena ca vatsyāmi na mām śokah pradhaksyati/ bahupuspaphale ramye nānādvijaganāyute, vicitraśikhare hy asmin ratavān asmi bhāmini/ anena vanavāsena mayā prāptam phaladvayam, pituś cānṛṇatā dharme bharatasya priyam tathā/ vaidehi ramase kaccic citrakūţe mayā saha, paśyantī vividhān bhāvān manovākkāyasamyatān/ idam evāmṛtam prāhū rājñām rājarṣayaḥ pare, vanavāsam bhavārthāya pretya me prapitāmahāḥ/ śilāh śailasya śobhante viśālāh śataśo 'bhitah, bahulā bahulair varnair nīlapītasitārunaih/ niśi bhānty acalendrasya hutāśanaśikhā iva, osadhyah svaprabhā laksmyā bhrājamānāh sahasraśah/ ke cit ksayanibhā deśāh ke cid udyānasamnibhāh, ke cid ekaśilā bhānti parvatasyāsya bhāmini/bhittveva vasudhām bhāti citrakūtah samutthitah, citrakūtasya kūto 'sau drśyate sarvatah śivah kusthapumnāgata garabhūrjapatrottaracchadān, kāminām svāstarān paśya kuśeśayadalāyutān/ mṛditāś cāpaviddhāś ca drśyante kamalasrajah, kāmibhir vanite paśya phalāni vividhāni ca/ yasyaukasārām nalinīm atyetīvottarān kurūn, parvataś citrakūto 'sau bahumūlaphalodakah/ imam tu kālam vanite vijahrivāms; tvayā ca sīte saha lakṣmaṇena ca, ratim prapatsye kuladharmavardhinīm; satām pathi svair niyamaiḥ paraih sthitah/

Shri Rama has had considerable fascination and charming attraction for settling at Chitrakoota mountain. That indeed had been his life ambition thus fulfilled! He asked Devi Sita, like Indra would to his wife Shachi Devi, to move and wander freely all over the sprawling mountain places and get thrills of joy! He confided in Sita Devi stating: na rājyād bhramsanam bhadre na suhrdbhir vinābhavah, mano me bādhate drstvā ramanīyam imam girim/ I have been pushed out from the Kingdom and parted my relatives and close friends, but all the same, I am truly rejoicing here at the mountain top and have ceased feeling the abandonment and a sense of dejection. Devi! look at this memorable mountain life as birds of countless colour combinations are flying right before you; look at the sky scraping mountain tops replete with unimaginable 'dhaatus' or mineral resources, as though they are kissing the high skies! All such 'dhatus' are sparkling like silver moulds or like metal balls in varied colours of crystal white or yellow. Besides these, Devi! do you not vision the glitter and twinkles of the 'nakshatra mandalis' spread all over the length and breadth of the blue skies! Some of the Stars are like diamonds or pearls, or sapphires, or corals, or rubies, or gomedha or vaiduryas! The variety of birds and animals is unimaginable ranging from sparrows or vultures to animals like antelopes to huge sized lions and tigers. So is the splendour of fresh flowers of hues of violet-blue- red- orange-indigo or just plain white or of varied permutations and combinations. Now, the surprising range of trees: Neem, Fig, Saal, Banyan, Coconut, Deodaar, Chinar, Sandalwood, Mango, Teak, Iron wood, Rosewood, Khejri, Palmeera, Jammi, Agar, Ashoka, Jakranda, Bael and finally the blessed Ashvattha. Devi Sita! śailaprasthesu ramyesu paśyemān kāmaharṣaṇān, kinnarān dvamdvaso bhadre ramamānān manasvinah/ sākhāvasaktān khadgāms ca pravarānv ambarāni

ca, paśya vidyādharastrīnām krīded deśān mano -ramān/ Look at this range of mountain tops which seek to usher in strong feelings of love among the amorous couples of youth as also suggestive of kinnara strees holding hand in hand in a striking awe! The gushing streams of water down the mountain minarets to earth are simply amazing! The mountain caves are like human noses inhaling and exhaling the scented and fresh airs of Nature. Anena vanavāsena mayā prāptam phaladvayam, pituś cānrnatā dharme bharatasya priyam tathā/ Beloved Sita! I am experiencing two essential fallout fruits of this 'Vana Vaasa': one is that I have the fulfillment of my dear father's desire and another is of Bharata's desire too. Idam evāmrtam prāhū rājñām rājarsayah pare, vanavāsam bhavārthāva pretva me prapitāmahāh/ Dear Sita! My forefathers like Vaivasvata Manu and other famed Rajarshis had dutifully undergone Vana Vaasa and attained bliss post life; may I too follow their golden footsteps! The surrounding mountain range assumes varied colours of blue, pale yellow, white and red looking magnificent especially in the nights. vasvaukasārām nalinīm atyetīvottarān kurūn, parvataś citrakūto 'sau bahumūlaphalodakah/ imam tu kālam vanite vijahrivāms; tvayā ca sīte saha lakṣmaṇena ca, ratim prapatsye kuladharmavardhinīm; satām pathi svair niyamaih paraih sthitah/ Beloved Sita! This Chitrakoota mountain range with rich fruits, flowers, water flows, vegetable roots, and such multi-splendoured fantasy is like the Aklapuri of Kubera or the Amaravati of Devendra! I hope to spend the entire duration of the fourteen years of my Vana Vaasa within the precincts of 'dharma nishtha' along with Lakshmana!

Sarga Ninety Five

Shri Rama displays the exquisiteness of River Mandakini to Sita

Atha śailād vinişkramya maithilīm kosaleśvaraḥ, adarśayac chubhajalām ramyām mandākinīm nadīm/ abravīc ca varārohām cārucandranibhānanām, videharājasya sutām rāmo rājīvalocanah/vicitrapulinām ramyām hamsasārasasevitām, kusumair upasampannām pasya mandākinīm nadīm/ nānāvidhais tīraruhair vrtām puspaphaladrumaih, rājantīm rājarājasya nalinīm iva sarvatah/ mrgayūthanipītāni kaluşāmbhāmsi sāmpratam, tīrthāni ramanīyāni ratim samjanayanti me/ jaṭājinadharāḥ kāle valkalottaravāsasah, rsavas tv avagāhante nadīm mandākinīm prive/āditvam upatisthante nivamād ūrdhvabāhavah, ete 'pare viśālāksi munavah samśitavratāh/ mārutoddhūta śikharaih pranrtta iva parvataḥ, pādapaiḥ patrapuṣpāṇi ṣrjadbhir abhito nadīm/ kaccin maṇinikāśodām kaccit pulinaśālinīm, kaccit siddhajanākīrnām paśya mandākinīm nadīm/ nirdhūtān vāyunā paśya vitatān puspasamcayān, poplūyamānān aparān paśya tvam jalamadhyagān/ tāmś cātivalgu vacaso rathāngāhvayanā dvijāh, adhirohanti kalyāni niskūjantah śubhā girah/darśanam citrakūtasya mandākinyāś ca śobhane, adhikam puravāsāc ca manye ca tava darśanāt/ vidhūtakalusaih siddhais tapodamaśamānvitaih, nityaviksobhita jalām vihāhasva mayā saha/ sakhīvac ca vigāhasva sīte mandakinīm imām, kamalāny avamajjantī puşkarāni ca bhāmini/ tvam paurajanavad vyālān ayodhyām iva parvatam, manyasva vanite nityam sarayūvad imām nadīm/ lakṣmaṇaś caiva dharmātmā mannideśe vyavasthitaḥ, tvam cānukūlā vaidehi prītim janavatho mama/ upaspršams trisavanam madhumūlaphalāšanah, nāvodhvāvai na rājvāva sprhave 'dva tvavā saha/ imām hi ramvām gajavūthalolitām; nipītatovām gajasimhavānaraih, supuṣpitaiḥ puṣpadharair alamkrtām; na so 'sti yaḥ syān na gatakramaḥ sukhī/ itīva rāmo bahusamgatam vacah; priyā sahāyah saritam prati bruvan, cacāra ramyam nayanāñjanaprabham; sa citrakūtam raghuvamsavardhanaļ/

Having exited from the mountain, Shri Rama then climbed down and desired to show Devi Sita about the Sacred River of Mandakini. Devi Sita! Now look at the beauty and glory of this river with groups swans floating and the greenery and trees on the banks looking like Kubera's scented Sarovara! As herds of deers got down into the banks and enjoy the drinking of the sweet water flows, one should a feeling of sensation and thrill. Further, groups of hermits clad in deer skins and with their shoulder hangings remove their apparel and with koupeena coverings get into the waters for bathing and perform oblations to Surya Deva. Some of the Munis are observing 'kathora vratas' or hard penances of 'nitya-naimittika'

nature, lift up their folded hands above their shoulders to Parama Devas. Some other adventure lovers are floating on waters for fun and flolic while professional swimmers race up from one banl across another! vidhūtakaluşaih siddhais tapodamaśamānvitaih, nityavikşobhita jalām vihāhasva mayā saha/ In this holy river, Maha Sidhha Purushas practise their 'mano nigraha' or mind control standing erect and stable for long duration of time in the flows of water. Devi, let us also bathe in these holy waters! Just as you along with your female friends tend to chase the red lotuses on the banks with gay abandon while drowning, swimming, and lying flat on the flows and so on, let us do so similarly! tvam paurajanavad vyālān avodhyām iva parvatam, manvasva vanite nityam sarayūvad imām nadīm/ Do imagine that you are swimming and frolicking like the local residents here or in the famed ponds of Ayodhya feeling comfortable and homely. laksmanaś caiva dharmātmā mannideśe vyavasthitah, tvam cānukūlā vaidehi prītim janayatho mama/ Videha nandini! As long as dharmatma Lakshmana is as per my instructions and as you are always as you are, what other ambition of my life is yet to be fulfilled! upasprśams trisavanam madhumūlaphalāśanaḥ, nāyodhyāyai na rājyāya spṛhaye 'dya tvayā saha/ Dearest Sita! As I enjoy my life with bathings along with you thrice a day and contentedly eat the pleasurable food of roots and fruits, I would neither like to return to Ayodhya nor desire to become a King! *Imām hi ramyām* gajayūthalolitām; nipītatoyām gajasimhavānaraih, supuspitaih puspadharair alamkrtām; na so 'sti yah syān na gatakramaḥ sukhī/ Just as large groups of elephants, or lions or monkeys bathe and drink the waters of Mandakini, or experience the fragrances of fresh flowers on the trees on the banks, is there any other fulfillment of human beings on earth!' Thus enjoying life thoroughly, Shri Rama has had the memorable visit of Mandakini with Sita and Lakshmanas!

Sarga Ninety Six

As the wild beasts and birds running astray of Chitrakoota, Lakshmana went up atop a shaala tree as an army was nearing and Lakshmana was angered

Tathā tatrāsatas tasya bharatasyopayāyinaḥ, sainya reņuś ca śabdaś ca prādurāstām nabhaḥ spṛśaw etasminn antare trastāh sabdena mahatā tatah, arditā vūthapā mattāh savūthā dudruvur disah/ sa tam sainvasamudbhūtam sabdam susrava rāghavah, tāms ca vipradrutān sarvān vūthapān anvavaiksata/ tāms ca vidravato dṛṣṭvā tam ca śrutvā sa niḥsvanam, uvāca rāmaḥ saumitrim lakṣmaṇam dīptatejasam/ hanta laksmana paśyeha sumitrā suprajās tvayā, bhīmastanitagambhīras tumulah śrūyate svanah/rājā vā rājamātro vā mrgayām atate vane, anyad vā śvāpadam kim cit saumitre jñātum arhasi, sarvam etad vathātattvam acirāj jñātum arhasi/ sa laksmanah samtvaritah sālam āruhva puspitam, preksamāno diśah sarvāh pūrvām diśam avaiksata/ udanmukhah preksamāno dadarśa mahatīm camūm, rathāśvagajasambādhām yattair yuktām padātibhih/ tām aśvagajasampūrņām rathadhvajavibhūṣitām, śaśamsa senām rāmāya vacanam cedam abravīt/ agnim samśamayatv āryah sītā ca bhajatām guhām, sajyam kuruşva cāpam ca śarāmś ca kavacam tathā/ tam rāmaḥ puruşavyāghro lakṣmaṇam pratyuvāca ha, aṅgāveksasva saumitre kasvaitām manyase camūm/ evam ukktas tu rāmena laksmāno vākvam abravīt, didhaksann iya tām senām rusitah pāvako yathā/ sampannam rājyam icchams tu yyaktam prāpyābhiṣecanam, āvām hantum samabhyeti kaikeyyā bharataḥ sutaḥ/ eṣa vai sumahāñ śrīmān viṭapī samprakāśate, virājaty udgataskandhah kovidāra dhvajo rathe/bhajanty ete yathākāmam aśvān āruhya śīghragān, ete bhrājanti samhrstā jagān āruhya sādinah/ grhītadhanusau cāvām girim vīra śrayāvahe, api nau vaśam āgacchet kovidāradhvajo rane/ api draksyāmi bharatam yatkrte vyasanam mahat, tvayā rāghava samprāptam sītayā ca mayā tathā/ yannimittam bhavān rājyāc cyuto rāghava śāśvatīm, samprāpto 'yam arir vīra bharato vadhya eva me/ bharatasya vadhe doṣam nāham paśyāmi rāghava, pūrvāpakariņām tyāge na hy adharmo vidhīyate, etasmin nihate kṛtsnām anuśādhi vasumdharām/ adya putram hatam samkhye kaikeyī rājyakāmukā, mayā paśyet suduḥkhārtā hastibhagnam iva drumam/ kaikeyīm ca vadhisyāmi sānu -bandhām sabāndhavām, kalusenādya mahatā medinī parimucyatām/ adyemam samyatam krodham asatkāram ca mānada, moksyāmi śatrusainyesu kaksesv iva hutāśanam/ adyaitac citrakūṭasya kānanam niśitaih śaraih, bhindañ śatruśarīrāṇi kariṣye śoṇitokṣitam/ śarair

nirbhinnahrdayān kuñjarāms turagāms tathā, śvāpadāḥ parikarṣantu narāś ca nihatān mayā/ śarāṇām dhanuṣaś cāham anrṇo 'smi mahāvane, sasainyam bharatam hatvā bhaviṣyāmi na samśayaḥ/

As Shri Rama in one of his romantic moods offering a sweet fruit to share with Devi Sita as seated on the Chitrakoolta mountian, he saw the dust raised and approaching noises of crowds and the screamings of elephants and horses. He asked Lakshmana to acertain what was the high pitched sounds about! Are they attacks of wild and cruel animals or what! Lakshmana had at once climbed up a tall tree top and found a huge army with elephants, horses and chariots. Lakshmana immediately asked Rama whether to put off the fire, erect his dhanush and arrows ready and alert Devi Sita who was seated resting. He further opined: sampannam rājyam icchams tu vyaktam prāpyābhisecanam, āvām hantum samabhyeti kaikevyā bharatah sutah/Dear brother! I suspect and in fact assert that this should be the army of Bharata and as had by now assumed the kingship could be approaching us to get rid all of us. I can now clearly see from this tree top that a chariot is approaching with a flagpost of kovidaara tree unfurled with a flying flag, even as some horsemen and elephant riders are looking at all the directions presumably to locate us. grhītadhanuṣau cāvām girim vīra śravāvahe, api nau vaśam āgacchet kovidāradhvajo rane/ Maha Veera Rama! It is time that both of us pick up the dhanush and reach the mountain top well guarded by body shields and 'dhanush baanaas'! Then I should face Bharata and teach him an unforgettable lesson as a fitting retribution of your loss of kingship and our hardships especially of the tender bodied Devi Sita! yannimittam bhavān rājyāc cyuto rāghava śāśvatīm, samprāpto 'yam arir vīra bharato vadhya eva me/ bharatasya vadhe doşam nāham paśyāmi rāghava, pūrvāpakariņām tyāge na hy adharmo vidhīyate, etasmin nihate kṛtsnām anuśādhi vasumdharām/ It is Bharata who is the root cause of this undue hardship and your denial of kingship and as sch he is our enemy now facing us and deserves punishment by killing him. That should only be a vindication of virtue and natural justice. In fact, excusing him with life should be considered as 'Adharma' and 'Anyaaya'! By killing Bharata, you should be the natural and legal vindication of justice, even as Kaikeyi should cry hoarse that Lakshmana had killed her son. kaikeyīm ca vadhisyāmi sānu -bandhām sabāndhavām, kalusenādya mahatā medinī parimucyatām/In fact, Kaikeyi and her provocators including their relatives even would deserce being killed and Bhu Devi should eventually be lightened by the weight of evil and sinfulness!

Sarga Ninety Seven

As Lakshmana saw Bharata approaching, he got angry but Rama cooled him down

Susamrabdham tu saumitrim laksmanam krodhamūrchitam, rāmas tu parisāntvyātha vacanam cedam abravīt/ kim atra dhanuṣā kāryam asinā vā sacarmaṇā, maheṣvāse mahāprājñe bharate svayam āgate/ prāptakālam yad eşo 'smān bharato drastum icchati, asmāsu manasāpy eşa nāhitam kim cid ācaret/ vipriyam krtapūrvam te bharatena kadā na kim, īdrsam vā bhayam te 'dya bharatam yo 'tra sankase' na hi te nisthuram vācyo bharato nāpriyam vacah, aham hy apriyam uktah syām bharatasyāpriye krte/ katham nu putrāh pitaram hanyuh kasyām cid āpadi, bhrātā vā bhrātaram hanyāt saumitre prāṇam ātmanaḥ/ yadi rājyasya hetos tvam imām vācam prabhāṣase, vakṣyāmi bharatam dṛṣṭvā rājyam asmai pradīyatām/ ucyamāno hi bharato mayā laksmana tattvatah, rājyam asmai prayaccheti bādham ity eva vaksyati/ tathokto dharmaśīlena bhrātrā tasya hite ratah, laksmanah praviveśeva svāni gātrāni lajjayā/ vrīditam laksmanam dṛstvā rāghavah pratyuvāca ha, esa manye mahābāhur ihāsmān drastum āgatah/ vanavāsam anudhyāya gṛhāya pratineṣyati, imām vāpy eśa vaidehīm atyantasukhasevinīm/ etau tau samprakāśete gotravantau manoramau, vāyuvegasamau vīra javanau turagottamau/ sa eṣa sumahākāyaḥ kampate vāhinīmukhe, nāgaḥ śatrumjayo nāma vṛddhas tātasya dhīmatah avatīrya tu sālāgrāt tasmāt sa samitimjayaḥ, lakṣmaṇaḥ prāñjalir bhūtvā tasthau rāmasya pārśvataḥ/ bharatenātha samdiṣṭā sammardo na bhaved iti, samantāt tasya śailasya senāvāsam akalpayat/ adhyardham iksvākucamūr yojanam parvatasya sā, pārśve nyaviśad āvṛtya gajavājirathākulā/ sā citrakūte bharatena senā; dharmam puraskṛtya vidhūya darpam, prasādanārtham raghunandanasya; virocate nītimatā pranītā/

As Lakshmana was fuming against Bharata even threatening him toBharata, Shri Rama sought to pacify and cool Lakshmana. Rama said that the very fact of searching for us arrived here all the way denotes that we would have to need to draw our 'dhanush baanaas' out and get ready for a fight. Lakshmaa! If I had arrived here to respect the father's word of honour, does it make sense that we should kill Bharata and seize the Kingship! The whole world would then disrespect us, is it not so! Then of what avail would be my kingship out of shamelessness! Yadya dravyam baandhavaanaam vaa mitraanaam vaa kshaye bhavet, naaham tat pratigruheenaam bhakshyaan vishakritaaniva/ In case one earns prosperity be killing relatives or friends, that food is considered by me as poison. Lakshmana! I am hereby swearing that even the Universal Emperorship is disgusting for me which is not in accordance of the noble human's aspirations of Dharma-Artha-Kama-Mokshas. Sumitra Kumara!I would swear by my 'dhanush' that for the sake of Bharata's happiness is far more significant for me than the kingdom. Let me assure you that the whole earth as surrounded by the sapta samudras is not out of my reach, but by viciously accomplished Swarga Puri of Indra too is unacceptable to me. Whater is opted for or liked by Bharata Shatrughnas is dear to me and the rest be thrown into open fire to turn into ash! Lalashmana! Be it known that Bharata is a 'bhatru bhakta' or intensely attached and devoted to his brothers. He considers me as his very 'praana' and getting the sudden news on his return from his maternal grandfather's place that we had left for the arduous 'vana vaasa' wearing 'jataa valkalas', he having followed the 'kula dharma' of temporary kingship, took the earliest opportunity to meet us. prāptakālam yad eso 'smān bharato drastum icchati, asmāsu manasāpy esa nāhitam kim cid ācaret/Bharata's arrival here and meet us is in perfect order and justified. After all, in which manner he ever had hurt you that your thinking pattern should get so disturbing! Beware, Lakshmana! You should never even utter a hard word or display any kind of resentment and that would be as bad as your hurting me. Do you not realise the magnitude of killing one's own brother or father figure! In case he would offer the Kingdom to me, should I recommend your name! Suppose I suggest so, would you accept the offer! tathokto dharmaśīlena bhrātrā tasya hite ratah, laksmanah praviveśeva svāni gātrāni lajjayā/ vrīditam laksmanam dṛstvā rāghavah pratyuvāca ha, esa manye mahābāhur ihāsmān drastum āgatah/ Lakshmana has then realised his folly, rashness out of immaturity and the misbehavior that was caused and stood besides Rama with his head down in shame and said: I am ashamed of myself brother! I could as well imagine as though in a similar situation, even my father too might have visited us likewise! I am sure that Bharata is visiting us and might return after pleading with you to return!' Then Rama instructed Lakshmana to get down from the tall tree. Meanwhile, Bharata instructed that there ought not be any problem created by the huge sena as they were approaching and thus halted the vast 'sena' some three yojanas away.

Sarga Ninety Eight

Bharata and advance party located Rama's 'kuteera' and visited the details inside

Niveśya senām tu vibhuḥ padbhyām pādavatām varaḥ, abhigantum sa kākutstham iyeṣa guruvartakam/
niviṣṭa mātre sainye tu yathoddeśam vinītavat, bharato bhrātaram vākyam śatrughnam idam abravīt/
kṣipram vanam idam saumya narasamghaiḥ samantataḥ, lubdhaiś ca sahitair ebhis tvam anveṣitum
arhasi/yāvan na rāmam drakṣyāmi lakṣmaṇam vā mahābalam, vaidehīm vā mahābhāgām na me śāntir
bhaviṣyati/yāvan na candrasamkāśam drakṣyāmi śubham ānanam, bhrātuḥ padmapalāśākṣam na me
śāntir bhaviṣyati/yāvan na caraṇau bhrātuḥ pārthiva vyañjanānvitau, śirasā dhārayiṣyāmi na me śāntir
bhaviṣyati/yāvan na rājye rājyārhaḥ pitṛpaitāmahe sthitaḥ, abhiṣekajalaklinno na me śāntir bhaviṣyati/
kṛtakṛtyā mahābhāgā vaidehī janakātmajā, bhartāram sāgarāntāyāḥ pṛthivyā yānugacchati/ subhagaś
citrakūṭo 'sau girirājopamo giriḥ, yasmin vasati kākutsthaḥ kubera ivanandane/ kṛtakāryam idam
durgam vanam vyālaniṣevitam, yad adhyāste mahātejā rāmaḥ śastrabhṛtām varaḥ/ evam uktvā mahātejā
bharataḥ puruṣarṣabhaḥ, padbhyām eva mahātejāḥ praviveśa mahad vanam/ sa tāni drumajālāni jātāni
girisānuṣu, puṣpitāgrāṇi madhyena jagāma vadatām varaḥ/ sa gireś citrakūṭasya sālam āsādya puṣpitam,
rāmāśramagatasyāgner dadarśa dhvajam ucchritam/ tam dṛṣṭvā bharataḥ śrīmān sumoda

sahabāndhavaḥ, atra rāma iti jñātvā gataḥ pāram ivāmbhasaḥ/ sa citrakūṭe tu girau niśāmya; rāmāśramam punyajanopapannam, guhena sārdham tvarito jagāma; punar niveśyaiva camūm mahātmā/

Thus having kept away the sena and the entourage at a distance, Bharata decided to spot the specific place of Shri Rama's place of stay and addressed brother Shatrughna to locate by intensive searth in all the directions with the help of a handful of soldiers. Nishad Raja Guha too with his dhanush-baanaas and sword initiated the search. Bharata decided tha he himself would initiate the search along with the Ministers, renowned citizens of Ayodhya, Guru Brahmanas and so on. He declared: yāvan na rāmam draksyāmi laksmanam vā mahābalam, vaidehīm vā mahābhāgām na me śāntir bhavisyati/ I cannot get balance of mind till I could locate Shri Ramas-Maha Bali Lakshmana-and Maha bhaaga Videha Rajakumari Devi Sita. Decidedly indeed, Sumitra kumara Lakshmana is a fulfilled human who is always along with the lotus eyed Shri Rama with his placid countenance of cool and comforting Moon shine! I could not indeed rest till I place my head at the lotus feet of Shri Rama! yāvan na rājye rājyārhah pitrpaitāmahe sthitaḥ, abhiṣekajalaklinno na me śāntir bhaviṣyati/kṛtakṛtyā mahābhāgā vaidehī janakātmajā, bhartāram sāgarāntāyāh prthivyā vānugacchati/ I cannot ever be peaceful with equanimity till I place the Kingdom of Ayodhya on his shoulders and duly celebrate his 'rajyaabhisheka'. Indeed again, till the Janaka Kishori- Videha Raja Nandini Maha Bhaga Sita is decorated with her singular queenship I could not be peaceful. Just as Lord Kubera is adorned in 'Nandana Vana', this 'Kakustha Kula Bhushana' Shri Rama is blessing this Chitrakoota Mangala Giri which is akin to Himalaya Giri or Venkataachala. This inaccessible forest infested by cobras and cruel animals is fortunate as the high mountains of chitrakoota! sa gireś citrakūtasya sālam āsādya puspitam, rāmāśramagatasyāgner dadarśa dhvajam ucchritam/ tam dṛṣṭvā bharataḥ śrīmān sumoda sahabāndhavaḥ, atra rāma iti jñātvā gataḥ pāram ivāmbhasah/ Then Bharata acsended atop a 'shaala vrikaksha' and cited Shri Rama Chandra Ashram as evidenced by the smoke emerging thererom and shouted with great excitement: This ought to be of Shri Rama!

Sarga Ninety Nine

As Bharata Shatrughnas located Rama, they prostrated and kept on crying

Nivistāyām tu senāyām utsuko bharatas tadā, jagāma bhrātaram drastum śatrughnam anudarśayan/rsim vasiṣṭham samdiśya mātṛr me śīghram ānaya, iti taritam agre sa jāgama guruvatsalaḥ/ sumantras tv api śatughnam adūrād anvapadyata, rāmadārśanajas tarso bharatasyeva tasya ca/gacchann evātha bharatas tāpasālayasamsthitām, bhrātuh parnakutīm śrīmān utajam ca dadarśa ha/śālāyās tv agratas tasyā dadarśa bharatas tadā, kāṣṭāni cāvabhagnāni puṣpāṇy avacitāni ca/ dadarśa ca vane tasmin mahatah samcayān kṛtān, mṛgāṇām mahiṣāṇām ca karīṣaiḥ śītakāraṇāt/ gacchan eva mahābāhur dyutimān bharatas tadā, śatrughnam cābravīd dhṛṣṭas tān amātyāms ca sarvasah/ manye prāptāh sma tam deśam bharadvājo vam abravīt, nātidūre hi manve 'ham nadīm mandākinīm itah/ uccair baddhāni cīrāni laksmanena bhayed ayam, abhijñānakrtah panthā yikāle gantum icchatā/ idam codāttadantānām kuñjarāṇām tarasvinām, śailapārśve parikrāntam anyonyam abhigarjatām/ yam evādhātum icchanti tāpasāh satatam vane, tasyāsau drśvate dhūmah samkulah krstavartmanah/ atrāham purusavyāghram gurusatkārakārinam, āryam draksyāmi samhrsto maharsim iva rāghavam/ atha gatvā muhūrtam tu citrakūtam sa rāghavah, mandākinīm anuprāptas tam janam cedam abravīt/ jagatyām purusavyāghra āste vīrāsane rataḥ, janendro nirjanam prāpya dhin me janma sajīvitam/ matkṛte vyasanam prāpto lokanātho mahādyutiḥ, sarān kāmān parityajya vane vasati rāghavaḥ/iti lokasamākruṣṭaḥ pādeṣv adya prasādayan, rāmasya nipatisyāmi sītāyāś ca punaḥ punaḥ/ evam sa vilapams tasmin vane daśarathāt majaḥ, dadarśa mahatīm puṇyām parṇaśālām manoramām/ sālatālāśvakarṇānām parṇair bahubhir āvṛtām, viśālām mṛdubhis tīrnām kuśair vedim ivādhvare/ śakrāyudha nikāśaiś ca kārmukair bhārasādhanaih, rukmapṛsthair mahāsāraih śobhitām śatrubādhakaih/ arkaraśmipratīkāśair ghorais tūṇīgataiḥ śaraiḥ, śobhitām dīptavadanaiḥ sarpair bhogavatīm iva/ mahārajatavāsobhyām asibhyām ca virājitām, rukmabinduvicitrābhvām carmabhvām cāpi śobhitām/ godhāngulitrair āsāktaiś citraih

kāñcanabhūsitaih, arisamghair anādhrsyām mrgaih simhaguhām iva/ prāgudaksravanām vedim viśālām dīptapāvakām, dadarśa bharatas tatra punyām rāmaniveśane/ nirīksya sa muhūrtam tu dadarśa bharato gurum, uṭaje rāmam āsīnām jaṭāmaṇḍaladhāriṇam/ tam tu kṛṣṇājinadharam cīravalkalavāsasam, dadarśa rāmam āsīnam abhitaḥ pāvakopamam/ simhaskandham mahābāhum puṇḍarīkanibhekṣaṇam, prthivyāh sagarāntāyā bhartāram dharmacārinam/ upavistam mahābāhum brahmānam iya śāśyatam, sthandile darbhasasmtīrņe sītayā laksmaņena ca/ tam drstvā bharatah śrīmān duḥkhamohapariplutah, abhyadhāvata dharmātmā bharataḥ kaikayīsutaḥ/ dṛṣṭvā ca vilalāpārto bāṣpasamdigdhayā girā, aśaknuvan dhāravitum dhairvād vacanam abravīt/ vah samsadi prakrtibhir bhaved vukta upāsitum, vanyair mrgair upāsīnah so 'yam āste mamāgrajah' vāsobhir bahusāhasrair yo mahātmā purocitah, mrgājine so 'yam iha pravaste dharmam ācaran/ adhārayad yo vividhāś citrāh sumanasas tadā, so 'yam jatābhāram imam sahate rāghavah katham/ yasya yajñair yathādistair yukto dharmasya samcayah, śarīra kleśasambhūtam sa dharmam parimārgate/ candanena mahārhena yasyāngam upasevitam,malena tasyāngam idam katham āryasya sevyate/ mannimittam idam duḥkham prāpto rāmaḥ sukhocitaḥ, dhig jīvitam nṛśamsasya mama lokavigarhitam/ ity evam vilapan dīnah prasvinnamukhapankajah, pādāv aprāpya rāmasya papāta bharato rudan/ duhkhābhitapto bharato rājaputro mahābalah, uktyāryeti sakrd dīnam punar novāca kim cana/ bāṣpāpihita kanthaś ca prekṣya rāmam yaśasvinam, āryety evābhisamkrusya vyāhartum nāsakat tataḥ/ satrughnas cāpi rāmasya vavande caraṇau rudan, tāv ubhau sa samālingya rāmo 'py aśrūny avartayat/ tatah sumantrena guhena caiva; samīyatū rājasutāv aranye, divākaras caiva nisākaras ca; yathāmbare sukrabrhaspatibhyām/ tān pārthivān vāranayūthapābhān; samāgatāms tatra mahaty araņye, vanaukasas te 'pi samīksya sarve 'py; aśrūny amuñcan pravihāya harsam/

With extraordinary excitement and thrill, Bharata shouted at Shatrughna and identified the direction of the Ashram. He then alerted Guru Vasishtha and the mothers and as accompanied by them proceeded to the spot. He then he located a 'parna kuti' made of tree trunk wood pieces covered by dried tree leaves and a hut to enable 'homaagni' and nitya pujas by flowers. The entrance of the ashram land was laid by a pathway leading to-and-fro the main ashram as indicated by trees planted by Lakshmana. To keep the living rooms of ashram cool, heaps of 'the gobar' of cattle and deer were arranged around. Then Bharata stated that what Bharadwaja Maha Muni had described in detail was visible then and the Sacred Ricer Mandakini would not be far from this ashram. Then suddenly Bharata bursted out with anguish: jagatyām purusavyāghra āste vīrāsane ratah, janendro nirjanam prāpya dhin me janma sajīvitam/ matkrte vyasanam prāpto lokanātho mahādyutih, sarān kāmān parityajya vane vasati rāghavah/ iti lokasamā krustah pādesv adva prasādayan, rāmasya nipatisyāmi sītāyāś ca punah punah/ Aho! What a shame that Loka nadha Raghunadha is having to discard the world and is settled here in this lonely and God forsaken forest all due to me, my fate and hard luck. I am shamed by the public and the world and my life is worthless and aimless. I have to instantly fall at the glorious feet of Shri Rama and those of Maha Pativrata Devi Sita and the ever blessed Lakshmana to possibly pardon me and my ill fated life!' Then the over agitated and anguished Bharata led the way to the Yagina shaala covered with the dried leaves of Shaala-Taala-Ashvakarna tree leaves and spotted the sizeable Yagina Vedika. In the 'parna shaala' itself, were arranged 'dhunush baanas', long swords covered in golden sheaths, and tiger and deerskins hung on the walls. nirīksya sa muhūrtam tu dadarśa bharato gurum, utaje rāmam āsīnām jatāmandaladhārinam/ tam tu kṛṣṇājinadharam cīravalkalavāsasam, dadarśa rāmam āsīnam abhitah pāvakopamam/ simhaskandham mahābāhum pundarīkanibheksanam, prthivyāh sagarāntāyā bhartāram dharmacārinam/ upaviştam mahābāhum brahmāṇam iva śāśvatam, sthandile darbhasasmtīrņe sītayā lakṣmaṇena ca/Then in the 'Kuteera', Bharata saw Shri Rama with 'jataamandala' on his head and dressed in 'krishna mriga charma and valkala' seated on 'kusha grass' by the side of 'homaagni' vedika like Brahma himself. His shoulders were high like those of a lion with broad chest and strong hands and his sparkling eyes were like the fully opened up lotuses. He could not but run up to him with excitement and mixed feelings of intense anguish and remorse. Along with him were seated Devi Sita and Lakshmana too similarly wearing 'mriga charma' attires! He had broken down and fell straight at Rama's feet with supressed and burst out cryings and hushed tones; vah samsadi prakrtibhir bhaved vukta upāsitum, vanvair mrgair upāsīnah so

'yam āste mamāgrajah/ vāsobhir bahusāhasrair yo mahātmā purocitah, mrgājine so 'yam iha pravaste dharmam ācaran/ adhārayad yo vividhāś citrāh sumanasas tadā, so 'yam jatābhāram imam sahate rāghavah katham/ yasya yajñair yathādistair yukto dharmasya samcayah, śarīra kleśasambhūtam sa dharmam parimārgate/ 'What a twist of destiny that you worthy of veneration in the Rajya Sabhas by ministers and senior officialdom is now surrounded by jungle animals! That supreme Maha Raja was always robed in thousand varieties of dresses of silk bordered with silver and gold is now undergoing 'dharmaacharana' is wearing two pieces of 'mriga charmas'! That extraordinary Raghu Veera whose heargear studded with priceless 'nava ratnas' and with uncommon flowers of far speading celestial smells is now carrying a 'jataabhaara'! That Dharmatma who had all along been engaged maha yagjna kaaryas assisted by hundreds of 'shastra vetta ritviks' rendering 'Shruti Smritis' is now practising the same kind of 'dharma anusandhana' with physical strain. Mannimittam idam duhkham prāpto rāmah sukhocitah, dhig jīvitam nrśamsasya mama lokavigarhitam/ Alas! How disgraceful am I to have placed that supreme devata in human form in this situation because of my misfortune as I am disgraced with wide spread 'loka ninda' and public shame.' Bharata thus collapsed down with extreme distress and fell at Rama's feet, as he could utter hardly two words: 'Arya! Ha Arya'! Shatrughna too likewise cried relentlessly and fell at Rama's feet. Then Shri Rama hugged both Bharata Shatrughnas as a gesture of kindness even as they were crying away relentlessly. Later on Rama and Lakshmana met Sumantra and Nishada Raja and as they moved forward there were implied cryings of joy and relief by the forest trees and animals as well.

Sarga One Hundred

Shri Rama having enquired Bharata's welfare gave elaborate lessons of Kshatra Dharmas on his own

Aaghrāya rāmas tam mūrdhni parisvajya ca rāghavah, anke bharatam āropya paryaprcchat samāhitah/ kva nu te 'bhūt pitā tāta yad aranyam tvam āgatah, na hi tvam jīvatas tasya vanam āgantum arhasi/ cirasya bata paśyāmi dūrād bharatam āgatam, duspratīkam aranye 'smin kim tāta vanam āgataḥ/kaccid daśaratho rājā kuśalī satyasamgaraḥ, rājasūyāśvamedhānām āhartā dharmaniścayah/ sa kaccid brāhmano vidvān dharmanityo mahādyutih, iksvākūnām upādhvāvo vathāvat tāta pūjvate/ tāta kaccic ca kausalyā sumitrā ca prajāvatī, sukhinī kaccid āryā ca devī nandati kaikayī/ kaccid vinaya sampannaḥ kulaputro bahuśrutah, anasūyur anudrastā satkṛtas te purohitah/ kaccid agnisu te yukto vidhijño matimān rjuh, hutam ca hosyamānam ca kāle vedayate sadā/ isvastravarasampannam arthaśāstraviśāradam, sudhanvānam upādhvāyam kaccit tvam tāta manyase/ kaccid ātma samāh śūrāh śrutavanto jitendrivāh, kulīnāś cengitajñāś ca krtās te tāta mantrinah/ mantro vijayamūlam hi rājñām bhavati rāghava, susamvrto mantradharair amātyaih śāstrakovidaih/ kaccin nidrāvaśam naisi kaccit kāle vibudhyase, kac cim's cāpararātrisu cintayasy arthanaipuṇam/kaccin mantrayase naikaḥ kaccin na bahubhiḥ saha, kaccit te mantrito mantro rāṣṭram na paridhāvati/ kaccid artham viniścitya laghumūlam mahodayam, kṣipram ārabhase kartum na dīrghayasi rāghava/ kaccit tu sukrtāny eva krtarūpāņi vā punaḥ, vidus te sarvakārvāni na kartavvāni pārthivāh/kaccin na tarkair vuktvā vā ve cāpy aparikīrtitāh, tvavā vā tava vāmātyair budhyate tāta mantritam/ kaccit sahasrān mūrkhānām ekam icchasi panditam, pandito hy arthakṛcchreṣu kuryān niḥśreyasam mahat/ sahasrāṇy api mūrkhāṇām yady upāste mahīpatiḥ, atha vāpy ayutāny eva nāsti tesu sahāyatā/ eko 'py amātyo medhāvī śūro dakso vicaksanah, rājānam rājamātram vā prāpayen mahatīm śriyam/kaccin mukhyā mahatsv eva madhyamesu ca madhyamāh , jaghanyāś ca jaghanyesu bhrtyāh karmasu yojitāh/ amātyān upadhātītān pitrpaitāmahāñ śucīn, śresthāñ śresthesu kaccit tvam niyojayasi karmasu/kaccit tvām nāvajānanti yājakāh patitam yathā, ugrapratigrahītāram kāmayānam iva striyah/ upāyakuśalam vaidyam bhrtyasamdūṣane ratam, śūram aiśvaryakāmam ca yo na hanti sa vadhyate/kaccid dhṛṣṭaś ca śūraś ca dhṛtimān matimāñ śucih, kulīnaś cānuraktaś ca dakṣah senāpatiḥ krtaḥ/balavantaś ca kaccit te mukhyā yuddhaviśāradāḥ, drsṭāpadānā vikrāntās tvayā satkrtya mānitāh/ka cid balasya bhaktam ca vetanam ca yathocitam, samprāptakālam dātavyam dadāsi na vilambase/ kālātikramane hy eva bhakta vetanayor bhrtāh, bhartuh kupyanti dusyanti so 'narthah sumahān smṛtaḥ/ kaccit sarve 'nuraktās tvām kulaputrāḥ pradhānataḥ, kaccit prāṇāms tavārtheṣu samtyajanti samāhitāh/ kaccij jānapado vidvān daksinah pratibhānavān, vathoktavādī dūtas te krto

bharata panditah/ kaccid astādaśāny esu svapakse daśa pañca ca, tribhis tribhir avijñātair vetsi tīrthāni cārakaih/ kaccid vyapāstān ahitān pratiyātām's ca sarvadā, durbalān anavajñāya vartase ripusūdana/ kaccin na lokāyatikān brāhmaṇāms tāta sevase, anartha kuśalā hy ete bālāh paṇḍitamāninah/ dharmaśāstresu mukhyesu vidyamānesu durbudhāh, buddhimān vīksikīm prāpya nirartham pravadanti te/ vīrair adhvusitām pūrvam asmākam tāta pūrvakaih, satvanāmām drdhadvārām hastvaśvarathasamkulām/ brāhmaṇaiḥ kṣatriyair vaiśyaiḥ svakarmanirataiḥ sadā, jitendriyair mahotsāhair vṛtāmātyaiḥ sahasraśaḥ/ prāsādair vividhākārair vṛtām vaidyajanākulām, kaccit samuditām sphītām ayodhyām parirakṣasi/ kaccic caityaśatair juṣṭaḥ suniviṣṭajanākulaḥ, devasthānaiḥ prapābhiś ca taḍāgaiś copaśobhitah/ prahrstanaranārīkah samājotsavaśobhitah, sukrstasīmā paśumān himsābhir abhivarjitah/ adevamātrko ramyaḥ śvāpadaiḥ parivarjitaḥ,kaccij janapadaḥ sphītaḥ sukhaṁ vasati rāghava/ kaccit te dayitāh sarve kṛṣigorakṣajīvinah, vārtāyām samśritas tāta loko hi sukham edhate/ tesām guptiparīhāraih kaccit te bharanam krtam, raksyā hi rājñā dharmena sarve visayavāsinah/ kaccit striyah sāntvayasi kaccit tāś ca surakṣitāḥ, kaccin na śraddadhāsyāsām kaccid guhyam na bhāṣase/ kaccin nāga vanam guptam kuñjarāṇam ca tṛpyasi, kaccid darśayase nityam manuṣyāṇām vibhūṣitam,utthāyotthāya pūrvāhne rājaputro mahāpathe/ kaccit sarvāni durgāni dhanadhānyāyudhodakaih, vantrais ca paripūrņāni tathā śilpidhanurdharaih/āyas te vipulaḥ kaccit kaccid alpataro vyayaḥ, apātreṣu na te kaccit kośo gacchati rāghava/ devatārthe ca pitrarthe brāhmaṇābhyāgateṣu ca, yodheṣu mitravargeṣu kaccid gacchati te vyayah/ kaccid āryo viśuddhātmā ksāritaś corakarmanā, apṛstah śāstrakuśalair na lobhād badhyate śucih/ grhītaś caiva prstaś ca kāle drstah sakāranah, kaccin na mucyate coro dhanalobhān nararşabha/ vyasane kaccid āḍhyasya dugatasya ca rāghava, artham virāgāḥ paśyanti tavāmātyā bahuśrutāḥ/ yāni mithyābhiśastānām patanty asrāni rāghava, tāni putrapaśūn ghnanti prītyartham anuśāsataḥ/kaccid vṛdhāms ca bālāms ca vaidyamukhyāms ca rāghava, dānena manasā vācā tribhir etair bubhūṣase/kaccid gurūms ca vṛddhāms ca tāpasān devatātithīn, caityāms ca sarvān siddhārthān brāhmanām's ca namasyasi/kaccid arthena vā dharmam dharmam dharmena vā punah, ubhau vā prītilobhena kāmena na vibādhase/ kaccid artham ca dharmam ca kāmam ca jayatām vara, vibhajya kāle kālajña sarvān bharata sevase/ kaccit te brāhmanāh śarma sarvaśāstrārthakovi, āśamsante mahāprājña paurajānapadaiḥ saha/ nāstikyam anṛtam krodham pramādam dīrghasūtratām, adarśanam jñānavatām ālasvam pañcavrttitām/ ekacintanam arthānām anarthajñais ca mantranam, niscitānām anārambham mantrasvāparilaksanam/ mangalasvāprayogam ca pratvutthānam ca sarvasah, kaccit tvam varjayasy etān rājadoṣām's caturdasa/kaccit svādukṛtam bhojyam eko nāsnāsi rāghava, kaccid āśamsamānebhyo mitrebhyah samprayacchasi/

The ever kind Shri Rama held Bharatain his hands, touched his head softly, embraced him and said softly: Where is father! How could you reach here! It is a very long time that I am seeing you as you might have returned from your uncle's kingdom, but you seem to have become thinned and weak. Why have you reached here! Hope dear father is alive and why are you crying away. Bharata you are still a lad and hope you are taking care of father properly! Hope, Dharmanishthaapara Maha Raja Dasharatha who had succesfully performed Rajasuva and Ashwamedha yaginas is in good health. Trust you are constatuly engaged in pujas to Ikshvakukula Acharya Maharshi Vasishtha properly! Hope my mother Devi Kousalya is in good health. I hope you are ever respectful to the Purohita of the famed Ayodhya Kindom! He is ever engaged in agnihotra karyas as per prescribed timings each day. Trust you are ever respectful to Deva-Pitru-bhrutya-gurujana-pita samana vriddhha jana-vaidya-brahmanas. Hope you esteem and admire the teacher of Arthashastra-Raja neeti Visharada Achraya Sudhanva who knows the minute details of 'mantra rahita' and 'mantra yukta' dhanur vidya. I believe you must have appointed a Mantri who is a shura veera-shastragjna-jitendriya and of excellent family background who could sense the body movements as per one's inner thoughts Mantro vijayamūlam hi rājñām bhavati rāghava, susamvṛto mantradharair amātyaiḥ śāstrakovidaiḥ/Raghu nandana!Excellent ministerial support is the key to success of 'Rajyaanga' of Kingship. The back up good Ruler is indeed the neeti shastra nipuna- manri amaatya needed to be kept unknown to the public. Bharata! Hope you are not tired and feeling sleepy; tell me you are normally active with proper sleep in the nights! When ever spies convey the type of news which disturbs the mind, you ought to keep it to digest within as once you convey to one, it gets spread to dozens and eventually to the enemies. Bharata! When a particular task is easy to perform and has far reaching results, then procrastination becomes the thief and delay dilutes the end result. Hence never delay the essential tasks of importance. More over: kaccit sahasrān mūrkhāṇām ekam icchasi paṇḍitam, paṇḍito hy arthakṛcchreṣu kuryān niḥśreyasam mahat/ sahasrāṇy api mūrkhāṇām yady upāste mahīpatiḥ, atha vāpy avutāny eva nāsti tesu sahāvatā/ eko 'py amātyo medhāvī śūro dakso vicaksanah, rājānam rājamātram vā prāpayen mahatīm śriyam/You should realise that instead of keeping a thousand stupids as your advisers, you must retain even one experienced vidvan who could uplift collapsing situations in the art of 'Rajyaanga' or diplomacy as also success and prosperity. Yet the same time, the Maha Medhavi Mantri need not and should not be burdened with small, medium and even semi difficult problems as there should be a three tiered levels of advisers and action grroups. Bharata here is another important alert in the art of Rajyaanga or diplomacy: amātyān upadhātītān pitrpaitāmahāñ śucīn, śresthāñ śresthesu kaccit tvam niyojayasi karmasu/ This relates to the issue of corruption and tht is why the need for appointing officials who are reputed for generations; Bharata! Hopefully you are appointing such generation wise clean officials only! Another aspect of Ideal Kingship is to follow the art of 'chaturopaayas' or the four tier Saama-daana- bheda-danda means of counselling-gifting-rifting two parties who agree or disagree and proposal of kingship- or finally punishing by the kingship.

[Vishlesiona on King's adminitrative skill from Manu Smriti:

An ideal King is expected to learn of the naunces of Vyavahara Vidya. He should strain himself day-andnight and practise 'indiya nigrah' or the self control of body limbs and senses An exemplary King requires to abstain from ten evil habits generated from kaama or worldly desire and eight from krodha or anger. Indeed all the habits end up in evil and human misery. To any King the ten vices resulting from Kaama or human obsessions would gradually diminish wealth and vitue while the eight vices springing from Krodha or excessive wrath could terminate in his doom and death! The set of ten vices from desires and pleasures are stated to be hunting, gambling, sleeping by the day, repetitive statements of other's failures and vanity, obsession of feminity, drunkenness, excessive involvement of dance and music, and purposeless travel. The eight vices are carrying and encouraging tales, uncalled for violence, droham or treachery, jealousy, dushanam or abusive language, dravya haranam or unjust seizure of material and property, condemnation and censuring and physical beating. Lobha or avarice is stated as the root cause of all the evils and broadmindedness is the spring of hope. Intoxication, betting, women, and hunting are the four shortlisted banes led by human desires subjected to excesses while the worst possible offshoots of anger are abusive language, manhandling, and seizure of materials and property. Those persons who are not only prime movers of the excesses viz. the Kings in this context but the associates of these sins either from desire or anger are duly involved in the sins of humanity. Indeed Vyasana or vice and Mrityu or death are equally tough but death is easier since Mrityu has a possibility of reaching swarga but the one dragged into vyasana is sure to end up in naraka for sure! That is the reason why an ieal King needs to appoint an ideal Minister too as the latter should have the ancestry of ideal Ministers who are well versed in Shastra- Shaastra jnaana, and of proven nobility. It might sometimes be possible to bless a Kingdom even with unproven Kingship but is unimaginable to secure a Minister of trined backgound, inherent ability, knowledge and wisdom, be it in the matters of revenue incease and management, domestic governance and foreign relations. It is the Minister who has to daily interact with his deputies individually and collectively in all the matters relating punishments and rewards. This is the reason why a well read, experienced and trust worthy person- say a Brahmana with experice and wisdom, even as the King is ably assited and motivated with the larger issues and equally about the minor ones 'pro bono publico'! In turn, the Minister might appoint his deputies down the line of officialdom as in charge of duties. Thus when fully equipped with the task of governance, the King should take off the heavy responsibility of

governance ably conducting the two horsed chariot of Virtue and Justice. The officials at the field level, be it for collection of revenues and of disbursements, or for internal security and and external relations too be appointed on the principles of integrity, incorruptibility and impartiality.]

Sarga Hundred continued: kaccid dhṛṣṭaś ca śūraś ca dhṛtimān matimāñ śuciḥ, kulīnaś cānuraktaś ca dakṣaḥ senāpatiḥ kṛtaḥ/balavantaś ca kaccit te mukhyā yuddhaviśāradāḥ, dṛṣṭāpadānā vikrāntās tvayā satkṛtya mānitāḥ/ Bharata! I hope you have appointed a trustworthy, loyal, well contented, brave and ever courageous, Senapati of traditional background. If not yet, please do so atonce. Further, you might have appointed a Prime Minister who is honest, industrious and public welfare minded who would be ready to kill himself for you! Then kaccij jānapado vidvān dakṣiṇaḥ pratibhānavān, yathoktavādī dūtas te kṛto bharata paṇḍitaḥ/ Have you appointed 'Raja dootaas' of our kingdom in other friendly kingdoms who should be well read vidwans, diplomatic, and of sharp skills of forien afairs!

[Vishleshana on Videsha Neeti as per Manu Smriti:

A King of idealism should appoint an Ambassador who is well versed in the art of diplomacy with a countenance of placidity and of expression backedup by proficiency in the subject of science, commerce and international affairs. More importantly the person has to be honest, skilful and of noble family background. In the context of diplomacy, he has to be an expert in the matters of Sandhi and Vigrah, give and take, intelligent enough of moves and counter-moves, possessive of good memory, fearless and eloquent, as also action oriented with timely and vigilant moves, but essentially upright and reliable. He has to be of military tactness, treasury and financial management, recogniser of allies and opponents, amd most significantly has the trust anf faith of the King, his allies and the passive. In fact, he should also be able to convince the King about the realities of the Kings and Kingdoms of the countries of his posting but of what his or her King decides to convey in word or deed to the other King however harsh it may be yet couched in a polite yet firm manner. The role of an Ambassador is like a dance on a razor's edge, yet unhurting and yet with hardness. Just as a Minister posseses the wherewith all to punish or reward, save or ruin, run the treasury to get filled up or exhausted, drive the Kigdom's Economy to prosper or take it to doom, an Ambassador too can perform similar tasks to place the Kingdom to brush it up with the colours representitive worthiness of safety for foreign trade, investment, economic collaboration. Sa vidyadasya krityeshu nirgudhengita cheshtitaih, aakaaramingitam cheshtaam bhritye shu cha chikeershitam/ A successful Ambassador has to necessarily train himself with the face, gestures and actions of the counterpart King and so should his deputies too. This is in respect of the designs of the counter part King, his designs and plans of action and most importatly that might adversely affect his Kingdom.]

Bharata! Referring to Secret Agencies, are you aware that there are as many as eighteen positions in the Rajyanga or Kingship viz. Mantri-Purohita- Yuva raja-Senapati-Dwaarapaala-Antahpuraadhyaksha-Karagaaraadhyaksha-Dhanadhyasha- Specialists directly appointed by the King himself- Expert Lawyers who argue for and against on behalf oh the Kingship-Prosecutor and a three-tier Intelligence officials. Dear brother! Beware of Naastika Siddhantis in the kingdom and spies for outside kingdoms who seek to create unrest in the Ayodyha Kingdom; they all seek to preach our citizens and distort their thinking of the medium of Tarka or logic towards 'nastikata' or Atheism!. Brother! The Kingdom of Ayodhya has had an incredible glory with prosperity, dharma and nyaaya, chaturvarnas, vidwans and maha panditas of higher learning! Trust you are seeking to sustain and preserve its status in Bharata Desha. This Kingdom has been known for Ashvamedha and such maha yagjnas, renowned devalayas, dharma

tirtha pradeshas, samaajika utsavas, periodical social meets, ever busy trading and marketing establishments, public parks, fertile and evergreen pastures, excellent agricultural yields, timely rains, and the public of men and women have been disciplined and well contented without social evils of thefts, robberies, etc.; hopefully the same prosperity and all round contentment prevails in the Kingdom. *kaccit striyaḥ sāntvayasi kaccit tāś ca surakṣitāḥ, kaccin na śraddadhāsyāsām kaccid guhyaṁ na bhāṣase*/ The contentment and safety of women folk of the kingdom invariably decides the definite mark of the fulfillment of a kingdom; Bharata! I am confident that you are making special endeavors to this end. Further make sure of excellent pashu sampadafearlessness - dhana-dhanya-astra shastra-yantra-shilpa-vaidya disciplines.

Bharata! Make a special note of the proverbial fourteen pitfalls of Kingship:

Nastikata-Asatya bhashana-krodha-pramaada-jnaani purusha nishkramana- aalasya-panchendriya anarogya- raja nirnaya asahita-vipareeta raja nirnaya- apaarambha of nischita kaarya- gupta nirnaya dushprachara- mangalika kaarya anushthana aalasata- akasmaat shatru yudhha niraacharana. Maharaja Bharata! A successful King should always beware of dasha varga-pancha varga-chatur varja-sapta varga- ashta varga- and three varga vishayas.

(Lapses of ten categories are hunting animals and birds-play of 'chadaranga'- day sleepingcriticism of others- interest and involvement of illegal sex- madya paana- dancing-singinginstrumental music-and wasteful travels. Now, the five types of durgas or avoidable places: Jala durga or desert areas- Parvata durga or unscaled mountains; Vriksha durga or thick jungles with complex and unknown trees; Eerana durga or salted lands or saline places; and dhanva durga or desert lands. Chatur varga: Saama- Daana- Bheda- Danda. Sapta varga: Raja-Mantri-Rashtra-Forts- Khazana or treasury-Sena-and Mitra varga; Pancha varga: Blaming others behind, Saahasa or taking risks, droha or cheating, jealousy, dosha darshana or pointing mistakes, half baked blaming others, raised tones, and danda kathorata or undue punishment. Ashta varga denotes: agricultural development, business promotion, erection of forts, bridge construction, planning to secure forest elephants, occupying mountain caves, gaining monetary interst from occupied kingdoms, and populating unoccupied areas of the kingdom. Three Vidyas refer to mastering three vedas and neeti sastra-- Krishi- and go raksha. Six gunas are Sandhi or mutual with drawyal of war, Vigraha or total abandonment of opening a war, yaana or travel, aasana or being seated with self control, dwaidhi bhava or the feature of duality or vacillation or of wavering indecision and Samaashraya or total surrender. Then the FiveDaivi bhavas or fire breaks, floods, spread of diseses, kshaama, and maha maari or out break of incurable vyadhis. The Ten Rajaaritya Neetipurna kaaryas are refusing emoluments to the sevakas of the defeated king, punish who ever has insulted among the public, punish the masters who frightned the servants, open corruption practices of getting official tasks done and the related. Twenty wrongs are engaging the services of children, aged, long time sufferes of diseases, varna saksra humans, timids, the frightned ones, those who are lobhis, their helpers, those who distatisfy ministers, senapatis and dharmatmas, vishaya laalasaas, chanchala manasas and their supporters, those who resort of Deva- Brahmana dushanas, arrogant due to superiority feeling, persons who misbehave those afflicted by hunger, those who disregard soldiers, swadesha tyagis, persons with countless enemies, untruthful and unreliable persons! Then Prakriti Mandala includes Kings and Royalties, Ministers, Respected Public Figures, and those of treasury, provincial officials, Sena and of Forts.)

Thus Shri Rama enumerated the various duties of a King refreshing Bharata about some of the basic duties of Kingship and then asserted that the duty of a King should be to share tasty food with his followers and the entire public of the kingdom too!

Sarga One Hundred One

Rama asks Bharata the reason of his arrival- Bharata requests hin to return and accept Kingship; but Rama refuses

Tam tu Ramah samaaginyaaya bhrataram guruvatsalam, Lakshmanena saha bhraataa prushtham samuopachakrame/ Kemetadicchheyamaham shrotam praapyahritam tvayaa, yasmaan tvamaagato deshmimam cheerajataajini/ Yannimittamimam desham krishnaajina jataadharah, hitvaa raajyam pravishthasvam tat sarvam vaktumarhasi/ Ityuktah Kekayee putrah Kaakusthena mahaatmanaa, pragruhya balavad bhuyah praanjalirvaakyamabraveet/ Arya taatah parityajya kritvaa karma sudhush-karam, gatah sarvam mahabahuh putrashokabhi peeditah/ Striyaa niyuktah Kaikeyyaa mama maatraa paramtapa, chakaara saamahat paapamidamaatmyayashoharam/ Saa Raajyaphalamapraapyaa vidhavaa shoka karshitaa, patishyati mahaa ghore narake jananee mama/ Tasya me daasabhutasya prasaadam kartumarhasi, abhishischasva chaadyaiva raajyena maghavaaniva/ Imaam prakritayah sarvaa vidhavaa maatarascha yaah,twatsakaashamanu praaptaah prasaadam kartumarhasi/ Tathaanu purvayaa bhumih samagraa patinaa tvayaa, shashinaa vimaleneva shaaradee rahanee tathaa/ Ebhischa sachivaih saartham sharsaa yaachito mayaa, bhraatruh shishyasya daasasya prasaadam kartumarhasi/ Tadidam shaasvatam pitryam sarvam sachiva mandalam, pujitam Purusha vyaaghra naatikramitumarhasi/ Evamuktvaa ahabahuh sabaashpah Kaikayee sutah, Raamasyas shirasaa paadou jagraah Bharatah punah./ Tam mattamiya maatangam nishvasantah punah punah, bhraataram Bhraataram Raamah parishjyedamabraveet/Kuleenah satva sampannastejasvi charitavratah, raajyahetih katham paapamaacharenmadvidho janah/ Na doham tvayi pashyaami suukshmamapyarisudana, na chaapi jananeem baalyaat tvam vigarhitumarhasi/ Kaama kaaro mahaa praagjna guruunaam sarvada -anagha,upapateshu daareshu putreshucha vidheeyate/ Vayamasya yathaa loke samkhyaataah soumya saadhubhih, bhaaryaah putraascha shishyaascha tvamapi jnaatumarhasi/ Vane vaacheera vasanam soumya krishnaajinaambaram, raajye vaapi maharaajo maam vaasuyatumeeshvarah/ Yaavat pitari dharmagjna gouravam lokasatkrite, taavad dharma kritaam shreshtha jananyaamapi gouravam/ Etaabhyaam dharma sheelaabhyaam vaam gacchheti Raghava, maataa pitrubhyaamuktoham kathamanyat samaachare/Tvayaa raajyamayodhyaayaam praaptavyam loka satkritam,vastavyam dandakaaranye mayaa valkakavaasasaa/ Evamuktaa maharajo vibhaagam lokasannidhou, vyaadishya cha maha raajo divam asharatho garah/ Sa cha pramaanam dharmaatmaa rajaa lokagurustava, pitraa dattham yathaabhaagamapubhoktum tvamarhasi/ Chaturdasha samaah soumya dandakaaranyam -aashritah, upabhokshye tvaham dattam bhaagam pitraa mahaatmanaa/ Yadabraveenmaam nara loka samskritah, pitaa mahaatmaa vibhudhaadhiyopamah, tadeva manye paramatmano hitam na sarva lokeshvarabhaavamavyayam/

As Rama along with Lakashmana having properly understood the inner feelings of Bharata, asked Bharata as to why precisely he had arrived at Chitrakoota and Bharata should clearly explain the reason. Bharata with suppressed anguish lamentingly replied: *Arya taatah parityajya kritvaa karma sudhushkaram, gatah sarvam mahabahuh putrashokabhi peeditah/ Striyaa niyuktah Kaikeyyaa mama maatraa paramtapa, chakaara saamahat paapamidamaatmyayashoharam/* 'Arya! Our respected father having perpetrated an evil decision was overtaken by 'Putra shoka' had left us all and reached the heaven.

Ragiunandana! The dear father fell into the trap of his wife-my mother Kaikeyi- and did this heinous task and as having known about this had realised that a grave sin had been committed. On account of this, my mother had become a widow and due to continued distress should be heading to 'naraka' hereafter. Mahatma! Now be compassionate to me and very kindly accept this Kingship as the majestic Indra himself. The entire public of the Kingdom accompanied by widowed mothers have arrived here with this singular prayer for your kind acceptance. Being an oustastanding embodiment of Dharma and Nyaya, you are fully aware that the eldest son ought to be the King and as per dharma paripaalana, you should be the King definitely. Your kind acceptance of our unanimous request would avert the catostrophy of Bhu Maata assuming widowhood and the Moon on the sky would glitter as on the Sharat kaala night thenceforth. Ebhischa sachivaih saartham sharsaa yaachito mayaa, bhraatruh shishyasya daasasya prasaadam kartumarhasi/ Tadidam shaasvatam pitryam sarvam sachiva mandalam, pujitam Purusha vyaaghra naatikramitumarhasi/ Shri Rama! Very kindly do accept the Kingship as we all including the Ministers touch down our heads at your feet; I am your brother, follower and a servant. Please be kind to me personallly. Purusha Simha! This entire Mantri Mandali was in position at the lifetime of the glorious King Dasharatha as well. Please give consideration to their submission and not reject it.' Having requested Rama again and again, Bharata placed his head at Rama's feet and kept on crying away! Then Shri Rama hugged Bharata and said: dear brother! Having been born in a family of unique tradition of virtue, how could I blunder in upkeeping the Pitru Vaakya and disgrace myself! The Gurus, mothers and wellwishers are all respectworthy no doubt and they are indeed ever blessful to me, but defying the instruction of father is a serious blot and a grave sin of my life. Bharata! I can never find a speck of your conscience and you too should never blame your mother at all any further. Mothers as well as the father have the same kind of authority as motivated by their own convictions and are thus respect worthy always. What all the father would command me either to assume king ship of wear mrigacharma and live in forests are equally same to me and are neither questioned about or disagreed with. Etaabhyaam dharma sheelaabhyaam vaam gacchheti Raghava, maataa pitrubhyaamuktoham kathamanyat samaachare/As the revered father and mother had instructed me to be and live in forests, how indeed infringe upon their Instructions/. Therefore, my dear Bharata! Please try to understand the serious consequences on me and my self-consciousness. Yadabraveenmaam nara loka samskritah, pitaa mahaatmaa vibhudhaadhi- popamah, tadeva manye paramatmano hitam na sarva lokeshvarabhaavamavyayam/ I have the strong conviction of what my father of the glory comparable to Indra himself had instructed me ought to be most helpful to me and even if Lord Brahma would instruct me to the contrary, I should not obey!

Sarga One Hundred and Two

Bharata requests Rama to reconsider Kingship and informs King Dasharath's sad demise

Rāmasya vacanam śrutvā bharataḥ pratyuvāca ha, kim me dharmād vihīnasya rājadharmaḥ kariṣyati/śāśvato 'yam sadā dharmaḥ sthito 'smāsu nararṣabha, jyeṣṭha putre sthite rājan na kanīyān bhaven nṛpaḥ/ sa samṛddhām mayā sārdham ayodhyām gaccha rāghava, abhiṣecaya cātmānam kulasyāsya bhavāya naḥ/ rājānam mānuṣam prāhur devatve sammato, mama yasya dharmārthasahitam vṛttam āhur amānuṣam/ kekayasthe ca mayi tu tvayi cāraṇyam āśrite, divam ārya gato rājā yāyajūkaḥ satām mataḥ/ uttiṣṭha puruṣavyāghra kriyatām udakam pituḥ, aham cāyam ca śatrughnaḥ pūrvam eva kṛtodakau/ priyeṇa kila dattam hi pitṛlokeṣu rāghava, akṣayyam bhavatīty āhur bhavāmś caiva pituḥ priyaḥ/

As Shri Rama detailed a King's duties in brief, Bharata replied that he was not eligible to kingship and of which avail the duties of Kingship were elaborated to him by Rama! Bharata then explained to Rama: ''The authority of kingship would squarely be eligible to the eldest son only and hence my earnest supplication should be to take over the authority for the sustained progress of the tradition. Even if stated even otherwise by the public that a King is a human

being, my firm conviction would be that a king is a divine being as a Deva. This is so because that to maintain the balance of Dharma and Tradition along with Artha and Kaama is possibe only by a divinity but not a human being. When I was in Kaikeya desha, you had already left for the forest life and that glorious King who performed Ashmvamedha and other such Maha Yagjnas had left for swarga. Father Dasharatha was unable to resist swarga as he was unble to withstand your absence along with Devi Sita and Lakshmana. Purusha Simha Shri Rama! Now please get ready to perform 'Jalaanjali Daana Tarpana'in the memory of the departed Soul of the dear father. Dear brother! Be it known that father departed away while he was distressed for you, thinking deep about you, seeking even a glimpse of you and taking your name repeatedly and collapsed!

Sarga One Hundred and Three

Rama-Sita-Lakshmana cry away at father's death- offerings of tarpana and pinda daana

Tām śrutvā karuṇām vācam pitur maraṇasamhitām, rāghavo bharatenoktām babhūva gatacetanaḥ/ vāgvajram bharatenoktam amanojñam paramtapaḥ, pragrhya bāhū rāmo vai puṣpitāgro yathā drumaḥ vane parasunā krttas tathā bhuvi papāta ha/ tathā hi patitam rāmam jagatvām jagatīpatim, kūlaghātapariśrāntam prasuptam iva kuñjaram/bhrātaras te maheṣvāsam sarvataḥ śokakarśitam, rudantaḥ saha vaidehyā siṣicuḥ salilena vai/ sa tu samjñām punar labdhvā netrābhyām āsram utsrjan, upākrāmata kākutsthah krpanam bahubhāsitum/ kim nu tasya mayā kāryam durjātena mahātmanā, yo mrto mama śokena na mayā cāpi samskrtah/ aho bharata siddhārtho yena rājā tvayānagha, śatrughena ca sarvesu pretakrtyesu satkrtah/ nispradhānām anekāgram narendrena vinākrtām, nivrttavanavāso 'pi nāyodhyām gantum utsahe/ samāptavanavāsam mām ayodhyāyām paramtapa, ko nu śāsiṣyati punas tāte lokāntaram gate/ purā prekṣya suvṛttam mām pitā yāny āha sāntvayan,vākyāni tāni śroṣyāmi kutaḥ karnasukhāny aham/ evam uktvā sa bharatam bhāryām abhyetya rāghavah uvāca śokasamtaptah pūrņacandranibhā -nanām/ sīte mṛtas te śvaśuraḥ pitrā hīno 'si lakṣmaṇa bharato duḥkham ācaṣṭe . svargatam pṛthivīpatim/ sāntvayitvā tu tām rāmo rūdantīm janakātmajām, uvāca laksmanam tatra duhkhito duhkhitam vacah/ ānayengudipinyākam cīram āhara cottaram, jalakriyārtham tātasya gamişyāmi mahātmanaḥ/ sītā purastād vrajatu tvam enām abhito vraja, aham paścād gamişyāmi gatir hy eṣā sudāruṇā/ tato nityānugas teṣām viditātmā mahāmatiḥ, mṛdur dāntaś ca śāntaś ca rāme ca dṛḍha bhaktimān/ sumantras tair nṛpasutaiḥ sārdham āśvāsya rāghavam, avātārayad ālambya nadīm mandākinīm śivām/ te sutīrthām tataḥ krcchrād upāgamya yaśasvinaḥ, nadīm mandākinīm ramyām sadā puṣpitakānanām/ śīghrasrotasam āsādya tīrtham śivam akardamam, siṣicus tūdakam rājñe tata etad bhavatv iti/ pragrhya ca mahīpālo jalapūritam añjalim, diśam yāmyām abhimukho rudan vacanam abravīt/ etat te rājaśārdūla vimalam toyam akṣayam, pitrlokagatasyādya maddattam upatiṣṭhatu/ tato mandākinī tīrāt pratyuttīrya sa rāghavah, pituś cakāra tejasvī nivāpam bhrātrbhih saha/ aingudam badarīmiśram pinyākam darbhasamstare, nyasya rāmah suduhkhārto rudan yacanam abravīt/ idam bhunkṣva mahārājaprīto yad aśanā vayam, yadannaḥ puruṣo bhavati tadannās tasya devatāḥ/ tatas tenaiva mārgena pratyuttīrya nadītaṭāt, āruroha naravyāghro ramyasānum mahīdharam/ tatah parņakutīdvāram āsādya jagatīpatih, parijagrāha pānibhyām ubhau bharatalakṣmaṇau/ teṣām tu rudatām sabdāt pratisrutkābhavad girau, bhrātrņām saha vaidehyā simhānām nardatām iva/vijñāya tumulam sabdam trastā bharatasainikāḥ, abruvams cāpi rāmeņa bharataḥ samgato dhruvam, teṣām eva mahāñ śabdaḥ śocatām pitaram mṛtam/ atha vāsān parityajya tam sarve 'bhimukhāḥ svanam, apy eka manaso jagmur yathāsthānam pradhāvitāḥ/ hayair anye gajair anye rathair anye svalamkrtaiḥ, sukumārās tathaivānye padbhir eva narā yayuḥ/ aciraproṣitaṁ rāmaṁ ciraviproṣitaṁ yathā, draṣṭukāmo janah sarvo jagāma sahasāśramam/ bhrātrnām tvaritās te tu drastukāmāh samāgamam, yayur bahuvidhair vānaih khuranemisamākulaih/ sā bhūmir bahubhir vānaih khuranemisamāhatā, mumoca tumulam sabdam dyaur ivābhrasamāgame/ tena vitrāsitā nāgāḥ kareņuparivāritāḥ, āvāsayanto gandhena jagmur anyad vanam tataḥ/ varāhamṛgasimhāś ca mahiṣāḥ sarkṣavānarāḥ, vyāghra gokarṇagavayā

vitreṣuḥ pṛṣataiḥ saha/ rathāṅgasāhvā natyūhā haṁsāḥ kāraṇḍavāḥ plavāḥ, tathā puṁskokilāḥ krauñcā visaṁjñā bhejire diśaḥ/ tena śabdena vitrastair ākāśaṁ pakṣibhir vṛtam, manuṣyair āvṛtā bhūmir ubhayaṁ prababhau tadā/ tān narān bāṣpapūrṇākṣān samīkṣyātha suduḥkhitān, paryaṣvajata dharmajñaḥ pitṛvan mātṛvac ca saḥ/ sa tatra kāṁś cit pariṣasvaje narān; narāś ca ke cit tu tam abhyavādayan, cakāra sarvān savayasyabāndhavān; yathārham āsādya tadā nṛpātmajaḥ/ tataḥ sa teṣāṁ rudatāṁ mahātmanāṁ; bhuvaṁ ca khaṁ cānuvinādayan svanaḥ, guhā girīṇāṁ ca diśaś ca saṁtataṁ; mṛdaṅgaghoṣapratimo viśuśruve/

As Bharata described about the departing scene of his father as the latter kept on remembering Rama, his memories, his name and face, Rama too was upset and collapsed like an uprooted tall tree fallen suddenly. There was an uproar by Devi Sita, Lakshmanama, Bharata and Shatrughna as though in a chorus line. A person of Rama's standing was truly shaken up and addressed Bharata: 'As father had passed away, what indeed be the meaning of my returning to Ayodhya ever! It not a shame that I could not perform the 'dahana samskaara' despite being the eldest son: kim nu tasya mayā kāryam durjātena mahātmanā, yo mṛto mama śokena na mayā cāpi saṃskṛtaḥ/ aho bharata siddhārtho yena rājā tvayānagha, śatrugheṇa ca sarveşu pretakrtyeşu satkrtah/ Ha! Even as the immortal father departed taking my name and memories, I failed to attend the funeral rights and what could be the purpose of my being the eldest son. Bharata and Shatrughna! How fortunate were you to have performed the last rites! Of which purpose that even after the stipulated duration of my 'vana vaasa' that I should visit Ayodhya again!' Then Rama shouted hoarse and addressed Devi Sita that her father in law passed away and also addressed Lakshmana that his father of glory was no more! Then with suppessed emotions, Rama asked his brothers to initiate the 'jalaanjali karya krama'. Devi Sita reacalling her memories of the inimitable father in law cried silently and could not even face Ramachandra straight suppressing her passionate emotions. Then Rama asked Lakshman to fetch appropriate deer skins smeared with 'hing' powder as body covers around the waist and as 'uttareeya' or as back covers and thereafter asked Devi Sita to lead; Rama explained that at the tragic situations, wives should lead the husbands unlike all the other sorrowful contexts. Then all of them proceeded to the banks of the Sacred River Mandakini bare footed. Then Rama addressed the departed Soul of his father: pragrhya ca mahīpālo jalapūritam añjalim, diśam yāmyām abhimukho rudan vacanam abravīt/ etat te rājaśārdūla vimalam toyam akṣayam, pitrlokagatasyādya maddattam upatiṣṭhatu/ tato mandākinī tīrāt pratyuttīrya sa rāghavaḥ, pituś cakāra tejasvī nivāpam bhrātṛbhiḥ saha/ aingudam badarīmiśram pinyākam darbhasamstare, nyasya rāmah suduhkhārto rudan vacanam abravīt/ Then Rama as followed by his brothers had invoked the respective Pitru Devatas and then addressed the Soul of the father facing the southern direction uttering: 'Respeced father named Dasharatha of the famed Ikshvaku Vamsha! Today the 'jalaanjali' from my both the palms are being offered to the Soul that reached the Pitru Loka as of 'akshaya rupa' or of endless forms.' There after, the brothers performed 'pinda daana' addressing the departed Soul of Dasharatha reciting: idam bhunksva mahārājaprīto yad aśanā vayam, yadannah puruṣo bhavati tadannās tasya devatāḥ/ Departed dear father! Here with the offerings of food in the form of 'pindas' of cooked cereals, as humans and the celestials do too.

Vishleshana on Tapana Vidhaana

Tarpana Vidhana: Ruk Saamaadrthvaa Vedoktaan Japya mantraan yajushim cha, Japitwaivam tatah kuryaaddevarshi pitru tarpanam/ Tava Vashishtah/ (Vashishtha Maharshi affirmed that even after studying Ruk-Saamaadharvana Vedas, it is essential to recite Pranava and perform tarpana to fructify the knowledge of Vedas. Vishnu Purana emphasized: Shuchi Vastradharah snaato Devarshi Pitru tarpanam, Teshaameva hi tirthena kurveet susamaahitah/ (Only on wearing clean clothes after bathing and poised with unpertubed conscience, Tarpana is to be undertaken thereafter). To Devas only one tarpana/ Jalaanjali each be executed, while to Rishis twice and to Pitru Devas thrice respectively for their satisfaction. Praaggeshu Suranstarpenmanushyaanchaiva madhyatah, Pitramstu dakshinaareshu chaika dwi trijalaanjaleen/ (As prescribed for example in Agni Purana: Tarpana Karya needs to be performed

facing East in the Savya Yaginopaveeta position to Devas; to Rishis facing the East again with yagjnppaveeta as a garland but to Pitru Devatas the tarpana should be performed facing south with the yagjnopaveeta worn as 'apa savya' or 'Praacheenaa veeti' or in the reverse position reciting 'Swadhaanama tarpayaami'. Pitru Devas would not be contented of tarpana is performed from a higher plane position into water flows nor with wet clothes. In fact, Pitru tarpana needs to be performed with dry clothes only preferably seated on spread over darbhas. Also tarpana be done with water drawn from one vessel and transferred to a smaller vessel into a lower plane but due to the apprehension that a lower plane on the ground might be sullied with hair, ash, coal particles, thorns, and even bones on the ground and hence the tarpana is preferably done on a clean place with darbhas are spread over. Alternatively, tarpana may be done in a large flat plate or container. For performing tarpana only vessels of gold, silver, copper, brass, bronze or any metal vessels may be used but not earthen pots; however neither metal vessels nor hands without darbhas be used for the tarpana. Deva tarpana and Rishi Tarpana needs to be performed along with water mixed with plain rice grains or white tilas. Pitru tarpana needs to be necessarily done with water mixed with black tilas. Deva Tarpana: This tarpana is to satiate Devas and the Devatva or the Divinity that is microcosmically present in all Beings in the Universe. Seated facing the east direction with the right knee kept in contact with the ground, placing the left leg over the right leg so that the knee is above the ground, keeping Akshatas in the water pot, holding the water pot on the right hand palm, covering it with left left hand palm reciting Brahmaadaya Suraah Sarvey Rishayah Kashyapaadayah, Aagacchantu Mahaa Bhaagaa Brahmaandodaravartinah/ Now pour water with the left hand into the opne right palm releasing water from the tips of four fingers; three darbhas need to be placed on the rigt palm with the tips of darbhas aligned with finger tips while reciting the following in favour of each Devata: Om Brahmaa tripyataam, Om Vishnum tripyataam, Om Rudrah tripyataam, Om Prajapatih tripyataam, Om Devaah tripyantaam, Om Devyah tripyantaam, Om Vasavah Tripyantaam, Om Rudraah tripyantaam, Om Adityaag tripyantaam, Om Chhandaamsi tripyantaam, Om Vedaah tripyantaam, Om Rishayah tripyantaam, Om Gandharvaah tripyantaam, Om Apsaraah tripyantaam, Om Devaanugah tripyantaam, Om Naagaah tripyantaam, Om Saagaraah tripyantaam, Om Parvataah tripyantaam, Om Saritah tripyantaam, Om Manushyaah tripyantaam, Om Yakshaah tripyantaam, Om Rakshaamsi tripyantaam, Om Pishcaachaah tripyantaam, Om Suparnaah tripyantaam, Om Bhutaani tripyantaam, Om Pashavah tripyantaam, Om Vanaspatayah tripyantaam, Om Oshadhayah tripyantaam/Divya Pitri Tarpana: The revised procedure for tarpana to the Divine Devas and Manes requires change of sitting position to face the Southern direction and wearing the yagjnolpaveeta in reverse position as 'praacheenaa veeti', with left knee to be in contact with the ground while the right knee to be above the ground yet not touching it with left leg on the ground and the right leg on top of left leg; pour some black tilas (sesame seeds) in the water pot; now the offerings would be made thrice each time to Agni-Soma-Yama and Aryama ie. Agni the Divine Fire God who carries the soul of the burnt body, Soma the Water God who carries the soul of the drowned body, Yama the Maintainer of Dharma and the Judge of Karmas of the deceased and Aryama the Ruler of the Domain of Souls :Om Agnih tripyataam idam salilam jalam tasmai swadhaa namah, tasmai swdhaa namah, tasmai swadhaa namah/ Om Somah tripyataam idam salilam jalam tasmai swadhaa namah, tasmai swadhaa namah, tasmai swadhaa namah/ Om Yamah tripyataam idam salilam jalam tasmai swadhaa namah, tasmai swadhaa namah, tasmai swadhaa namah/ Om Aryamaah tripyataam idam salilam jalam, tasmai swadhaa namah, tasmai swadhaa namah/ The next three mantras are for the three Divine Manes-as were associated with the souls who were burnt or drowned and carried to the Skies till the latter are tendered to their destinations: Om Agnishu aatthaah Pitarah idam salilam jalam tebhyah swadhaa namah, tebhyah swadhaa namah, tebhyah swadhha namah/

Om Somapaah Pitarah tripyantaam idam salilam jalam tebhyah swadhaa namah,tebhyah swadhaa namah, tebhyah swadhaa namah/ Om Barhishadah Pitarah tripyantaam idam salilam jalam tebhyah swadhaa namah, tebhyah swadhaa namah tebhyah swadhaa namah/ Now in reference to the Karta's own Pitru ganas: Aadou Pitaa tathaa aataa saapatni janani tathaa, Maataa mahi ssapatnikaa Atma Patnyastwanantaram / Sutabhraatru Pitruvyaascha Maatulaascha Sabharyakaah, Duhitaa Bhagini chaiya Douhitro bhaagineyakah/ Pirushvasaa Maatrushvasaa Jaamaataa Bhaukah Snushaa, Shwashurah Syalakaschiva Shwashrushascha Guru rikthinah/ (Following is the line in which Pitru Tarpana is to be performed: Foremost to father, grand father, Great grand father, mother, father's mother, father's grand mother, Co mother if any, datta / adopted putra's parents if any, mother's father, mother's grandfather, mother's mother and the latter's mother in law, wife, sons, self's brothers, father's brothers, mother's brothers and their wives, daughters, sisters, grand sons, father's sisters, mother's sisters, son-in-law, brother's-in-law, and their wives, daughter-in-law, mother's brothers, wife's brothers, mother-in-law, Guru and the Trader, the Supplier of household goods) Tarpana prayoga: Achamya; Mamopaattha durita kshaya dwaaraa Parameshwara preetyartham evam guna Pituh Pitrunaam akshayya punyaloka phalaavaapyartham darsha prayukta maha punya kale tila tarpanam karishye/ --Iti sankalpya, praacheenaaveeti dakshinaabhimukhah savyam jaanvaachya/ (After achamana and sankalpa, assume praacheenaaveeti, face Southern direction and bend the left knee being seated and commence the tila tarpana). Brahmanas should address the Pitru Devatas as sharmaanam, Kshatriyas as Varmaanam and Vaishyas as Guptam/ Following is the order in which the tarpana is made: Pitaram-gotram-sharmanam-Swadhaanamah tarpayaami-Swadhaanamah tarpayami Swadhaanamah tarpayaami/ Pitaamaham-----Prapitaamaham---- /Maataram-gotraam-daam-Swadhaanamah tarpayami (three times)/ Pitaamaheemgotraamdaam-Swadhaanamahtarpayami (three times); Prapitaamahim-gotramdaam-Swadhaanamah tarpayaami(3 times) At the end of the Tarpana Kriya as described above, the remaining water meant for tila tarpana be thrown away, fill up the vessel with fresh water, sit in eastward and perform Deva Tarpana by looking at Surya Deva and recite: Om Suryaya namah, Om Agnaye namah, Om Prithivya namah, Om Varunaaya namah, Om Shivaaya namah, Om Vishnave namah/ Anena yathaa shakti kritena Devarshi Pitru tarpanaakhyena karmanaa Bhagavan Pitru swarupi Janaardana Vaasu deva Parameshwara preeataam na mama/ Om tat sat/ Om Lokaah samastaa sukhino bhavantu/ Om Sarve Janaah sukhino bhavantu/ Om Shaantih Shantih/\

Sarga One hundred three continued:

After the Jalaanjali and Pinda daana, the brothers and Devi Sita were returning from the banks of the Sacred River, they were breaking the silence with their loud cryings were resoundings which attracted groups of lions which roared and the other wild beasts and birds too. The soldiers of the Kingdom reacted stating that Bharata Shatrughnas should have met Rama Sita Lakshmanas and hence the distant sounds. Then the army moved on with elephants, chariots, horses and all the rest of the entourage. As the noises were sky rattling, the Ayodhya crowd surged and moved forward and then: *Tatastham Pususha vyaghram yashasvinakalmasham, aaseenam thandile Raamam sahasaa janam*/ The public reached an Ashram and the most popular, blemishless, Maha Purusha Shri Rama was visioned seated on a 'vedi', a raised platform. As the crowds queued up and wept involuntarily in high pitch, blaming Kaikeyi as the villiainess the root cause. Glimpses of Shri Rama resulted in distressful scenes all around and kept on prostrating to parents and God. Ar that time, it seemed that the earth sky, mountains, caves and all the directions got distorted and resounded!

Sarga Hundred and Four

With Vasishtha ahead the three Devis arrive, all the sons prostrate the mothers and Vasishtha too

Vasisthah puratah kṛtvā dārān daśarathasya ca, abhicakrāma tam deśam rāmadarśanatarsitah/ rājapatnyaś ca gacchantyo mandam mandākinīm prati, dadršus tatra tat tīrtham rāmalakṣmaṇasevitam/ kausalvā bāspapūrnena mukhena pariśusvatā, sumitrām abravīd dīnā vāś cānvā rājavositah/ idam tesām anāthānām klistam aklista karmaṇām, vane prāk kevalam tīrtham ye te nirviṣayī kṛtāḥ/ itaḥ sumitre putras te sadā jalam atandritah, svayam harati saumitrir mama putrasya kāraṇāt/ dakṣiṇāgreṣu darbheṣu sā dadarśa mahītale, pitur iṅgudipinyākaṁ nyastam āyatalocanā/ taṁ bhūmau pitur ārtena nyastaṁ rāmena vīksya sā, uvāca devī kausalyā sarvā daśarathastriyah/idam iksvākunāthasya rāghavasya mahātmanah, rāghavena pitur dattam paśyataitad yathāvidhi/ tasya devasamānasya pārthivasya mahātmanah, naitad aupayikam manye bhuktabhogasya bhojanam/ caturantām mahīm bhuktvā mahendra sadrśo bhuvi, katham ingudipinyākam sa bhunkte vasudhādhipah/ ato duhkhataram loke na kim cit pratibhāti mā, yatra rāmah pitur dadyād ingudīksodam rddhimān rāmeņengudipiņyākam pitur dattam samīksva me, katham duhkhena hrdavam na sphotati sahasradhā/ evam ārtām sapatnyas tā jagmur āśvāsya tām tadā, dadrśuś cāśrame rāmam svargāc cyutam ivāmaram/ sarvabhogaih parityaktam rāma samprekṣya mātaraḥ, ārtā mumucur aśrūṇi sasvaram śokakarśitāḥ/ tāsām rāmaḥ samutthāya jagrāha caraṇāñ śubhān, mātr̄ṇām manujavyāghraḥ sarvāsām satyasamgaraḥ/ tāḥ pāṇibhiḥ sukhasparśair mṛdvaṅgulitalaih śubhaih, pramamārjū rajah pṛsthād rāmasyāyatalocanāh/ saumitrir api tāh sarvā mātrh sampreksya duhkhitah, abhyavādayatāsaktam sanai rāmād anantaram/ yathā rāme tathā tasmin sarvā vavrtire striyah, vrttim daśarathāj jāte laksmaņe śubhalaksaņe/ sītāpi caraṇāms tāsām upasamgrhya duḥkhitā, śvaśrūṇām aśrupūrṇākṣī sā babhūvāgrataḥ sthitā/ tām pariṣvajya duḥkhārtām mātā duhitaram yathā, vanavāsakṛśām dīnām kausalyā vākyam abravīt/ videharājasya sutā snuṣā daśarathasya ca, rāmapatnī katham duhkham samprāptā nirjane vane/ padmam ātapasamtaptam pariklistam ivotpalam, kāñcanam rajasā dhvastam klistam candram ivāmbudaih/ mukham te preksya mām śoko dahaty agnir ivāśrayam, bhrśam manasi vaidehi vyasanāranisambhavah/ bruvantyām evam ārtāyām jananyām bharatāgrajah, pādāv āsādya jagrāha vasiṣṭhasya sa rāghava / purohitasyā gnisamasya tasya vai; bṛhaspater indra ivāmarādhipaḥ, pragṛhya pādau susamṛddhatejasah; sahaiva tenopaviveśa rāghavaḥ/ tato jaghanyam sahitaiḥ sa mantribhiḥ; purapradhānaiś ca sahaiva sainikaiḥ, janena dharmajñatamena dharmavān; upopavisto bharatas tadāgrajam/ upopavistas tu tadā sa vīryavāms; tapasviveṣeṇa samīkṣya rāghavam, śriyā jvalantam bharataḥ krtāñjalir; yathā mahendraḥ prayatah prajāpatim/ kim esa vākyam bharato 'dya rāghavam; pranamya satkrtya ca sādhu vaksyati, itīva tasyāryajanasya tattvato; babhūva kautūhalam uttamam tadā/ sa rāghavah satyadhrtiś ca laksmano; mahānubhāvo bharataś ca dhārmikah, vrtāh suhrdbhiś ca virejur adhvare; yathā sadasyaih sahitās travo 'gnayah/

Maharshi Vasishtha then keeping the Ahodhya queens ahead moved forward towards Shri Rama. The mothers slowly covered the distance and reached the banks of River Mandakini and witnessed the 'ghaats' where Rama and Lakshmana were habitual taking their baths. Devi Koushalaya was moved in her heart and addressed the co queens: sisters! See the none too easy rough banks of the holy river where Rama who always refreshed himself with palace comforts of bathing and now is at the disposal of these deeply trenched up rough banks of the river. Sumitre! Your son Lakshmana would be carrying heavy loads of the water to the ashram. He is not indended to do so but does it for the sake of his elder brother. Having moved forward Devi Kousalya noticed the 'pindas' that Rama would have just offered to the 'swargeeya pita' and her dear husband. As she got outburst, she addressed the co queens and said: sisters! are you noticing the 'pinda pradana' to the ever memorable Maha Raja that Shri Rama brothers had just performed dutifully! why and how is my heart intact instead of breaking into thousand pieces! She cried quoting the adage that what humans eat fir themselves is what they offer to Gods! Then she moved forward and saw for herself her dear son Shri Rama who was seated as of a devata descended to earth from the heaven. As soon as he saw the mothers Rama got up suddenly and touched their respective feet. Then they had cleaned off the dust on Rama's stomach affectionately since he bent down prostratingly. Lakshmaa too did so as Rama had done. Then seeking to control her tears, the extremely thinned down

Devi Sita too did similarly. Kousalya drew Sita nearby and embraced her as though she would have to a daughter. She exclaimed: videharājasya sutā snuṣā daśarathasya ca, rāmapatnī katham duḥkham samprāptā nirjane vane/ padmam ātapasamtaptam parikliṣṭam ivotpalam, kāñcanam rajasā dhvastam kliṣṭam candram ivāmbudaiḥ/ mukham te prekṣya mām śoko dahaty agnir ivāśrayam, bhṛśam manasi vaidehi vyasanāraṇisambhavaḥ/ Videha Raja Janaka Putri! Dasharatha Raja Vadhu! How are you withstanding the tribulations of this forest life! You are looking pale and weak like dusted gold and clouded Chandama! As Devi Kousalya was endearing Sitha thus, Rama and Lakshmana by turns touched the feet of Maharshi Vasishta just as Indra Deva would touch the feet of Deva Guru Brihaspati. As they all were seated, Bharata Shatrughnas and the Ministers, Senaadhipati and senior citizens of Ayodhya were seated too. The then situation was like Bharata being seated just facing Shri Rama just as Indra would before Prajapati Brahma.

Sarga One Hundred and Five

Bharata once again broaches Rama's return & kingship as Rama finally asserts in the negative

Tataḥ puruṣasimhānām vṛtānām taiḥ suhṛdgaṇaiḥ, śocatām eva rajanī duḥkhena vyatyavartata/ rajanyām suprabhātāyām bhrātaras te suhrdvṛtāh, mandākinyām hutam japyam kṛtvā rāmam upāgaman/ tūsnīm te samupāsīnā na kaś cit kim cid abravīt, bharatas tu suhrnmadhye rāmavacanam abravīt/ sāntvitā māmikā mātā dattam rājyam idam mama, tad dadāmi tavaivāham bhunkşva rājyam akantakam/ mahatevāmbuvegena bhinnah setur jalāgame, durāvāram tvadanyena rājyakhandam idam mahat/ gatim khara ivāśvasya tārkṣyasyeva patatriṇaḥ, anugantum na śaktir me gatim tava mahīpate/ sujīvam nityaśas tasya yah parair upajīvyate, rāma tena tu durjīvam yah parān upajīvati/ yathā tu ropito vrksah purusena vivardhitah, hrasvakena durāroho rūdhaskandho mahādrumah/ sa yadā puspito bhūtvā phalāni na vidarśayet, sa tām nānubhayet prītim yasya hetoh prabhāyitah/ esopamā mahābāho tyam artham yettum arhasi, yadi tvam asmān ṛsabho bhartā bhṛtyān na śādhi hi/ śrenayas tvām mahārāja paśyantv agṛyāś ca sarvaśah, pratapantam ivādityam rājye sthitam arimdamam/ tavānuyāne kākutṣṭha mattā nardantu kuñjarāh, antahpura gatā nāryo nandantu susamāhitāh/ tasya sādhv itv amanyanta nāgarā vividhā janāh, bharatasya yacah śrutyā rāmam pratyanuyācatah/ tam eyam duhkhitam preksya yilapantam yaśasyinam, rāmaḥ krtātmā bharatam samāśvāsayad ātmavān/ nātmanaḥ kāmakāro 'sti puruṣo 'yam anīśvaraḥ, itaś cetarataś cainam krtāntah parikarsati/ sarve ksayāntā nicayāh patanāntāh samucchrayāh, samyogā viprayogāntā maranāntam ca jīvitam/ yathā phalānam pakvānām nānyatra patanād bhayam, evam narasya jātasya nānyatra maranād bhayam/ yathāgāram drdhasthūnam jīrnam bhūtyāvasīdati, tathāvasīdanti narā jarāmṛtyuvaśam gatāh/ ahorātrāni gacchanti sarvesām prāninām iha, āyūmsi kṣapayanty āśu grīṣme jalam ivāmśavaḥ/ ātmānam anuśoca tvam kim anyam anuśocasi, āyus te hīyate yasya sthitasya ca gatasya ca/ sahaiva mrtyur vrajati saha mrtyur nisīdati, gatvā sudīrgham adhvānam saha mṛtyur nivartate/ gātreşu valayaḥ prāptāḥ śvetāś caiva śiroruhāḥ, jarayā puruṣo jīrṇaḥ kim hi kṛtvā prabhāvayet/ nandanty udita āditye nandanty astam ite rayau, ātmano nāvabudhyante manusyā jīvitakṣayam/ hṛṣyanty ṛtumukham dṛṣṭvā navam navam ihāgatam, ṛtūnām parivartena prāṇinām prāṇasamkṣayaḥ/ yathā kāṣṭham ca kāṣṭham ca sameyātām mahārṇave, sametya ca vyapeyātām kālam āsādya kam cana/ evam bhāryāś ca putrāś ca jñātayaś ca vasūni ca, sametya vyavadhāvanti dhruvo hy esām vinābhavah/ nātra kaś cid yathā bhāvam prānī samabhivartate, tena tasmin na sāmarthyam pretasyāsty anuśocatah/ yathā hi sārtham gacchantam brūyāt kaś cit pathi sthitah, aham apy āgamisyāmi pṛṣṭhato bhavatām iti/ evam pūrvair gato mārgah piṭṛpaitāmaho dhruvah, tam āpannah katham śoced yasya nāsti vyatikramaḥ/ vayasaḥ patamānasya srotaso vānivartinaḥ, ātmā sukhe niyoktavyaḥ sukhabhājaḥ prajāḥ smṛtāḥ/ dharmātmā sa śubhaiḥ kṛtsnaiḥ kratubhiś cāptadakṣiṇaiḥ, dhūtapāpo gataḥ svargam pitā naḥ pṛthivīpatiḥ/ bhṛtyānām bharaṇāt samyak prajānām paripālanāt, arthādānāc ca dhārmena pitā nas tridivam gatah/istvā bahuvidhair yajñair bhogām's cāvāpya puskalān, uttamam cāyur āsādya svar gatah pṛthivīpatih/ sa jīrnam mānusam deham parityajya pitā hi nah, daivīm ṛddhim anuprāpto brahmalokavihāriņīm/ Tam tu ete bahuvidhāḥ śokā vilāpa rudite tathā, varjanīyā hi dhīreṇa sarvāvasthāsu dhīmatā/ sa svastho bhava mā śoco vātvā cāvasa tām purīm, tathā pitrā nivukto 'si vaśinā

vadatāmv vara/ yatrāham api tenaiva niyuktaḥ puṇyakarmaṇā, tatraivāhaṁ kariṣyāmi pitur āryasya śāsanam/ na mayā śāsanaṁ tasya tyaktuṁ nyāyyam ariṁdama, tat tvayāpi sadā mānyaṁ sa vai bandhuḥ sa nah pitā/

The night long session had thus concluded with exchange of mounring memories of the great Dasharadha and the next morning on the banks of the River Mandakini, there was a reassembly of all after the snaanahoma-japa and other schedule. Then Bharata addressed Shri Rama as follows: 'Rama! Our revered Father was pleased with boons to my mother and my mother entrusted the kingdom to me. Now, I am placing the kingdom at your disposal and this be very kindly acceeded to. The upkeep of this vast kingdom and its glory is far beyond my ability; the force of the torrential rains in the high rainy season is not possible like a weak barrier! Where is the comparison of a donkey and a horse or of an ordinary kite and Garuda Deva! I am simply unable to emulate your administrative skills and capabilities. The glory of a Kingdom over centuries of administrative finesse is akin to an ever growing tall and strong tree with ever yielding instantly scented flowers and of ripenening fruits of sweetness; now preserving that famed tree is simply impossible for a person of my calibre and the risk of its gradual sinking into the established memories should never be hastened into mere myths. Kindly try to see the seriousness and urgency of this critical situation yourself. Our great father has had the forevision of begetting an illustrious senior son- (pursuant to the Putra kaamekshi yagjna). śrenayas tvām mahārāja paśyanty agryāś ca sarvaśah, pratapantam ivādityam rājye sthitam arimdamam/ tavānuyāne kākutstha mattā nardantu kuñjarāh, antahpura gatā nāryo nandantu susamāhitāh/ Now, may such an outstanding King who could maintain a kingdom of multifarious castes, creeds, thoughts and opinions of leaders of the society, as also face with resolve, conviction and courage against internal struggles and external dangers be seen in position. In this convincing manner Bharata begged of Shri Rama to return to Ayodhya for the thrill of the citizens and the dancing joy of the ladies of the 'antahpura' like the return of a haughtily superior elephant and a roaring chieftain of Lions. As Bharata had most convincingly requested Rama as those present too shared similar anxieties of Bharata's inability and Rama's unique fame, Shri Rama then replied as follows:

'Dear brother! I am not a free man like God nor act as I please. The wheels of time and fate keep pulling me in different directions. sarve ksavāntā nicavāh patanāntāh samucchravāh, samvogā vipravogāntā maraṇāntam ca jīvitam/ yathā phalānam pakvānām nānyatra patanād bhayam, evam narasya jātasya nānyatra maranād bhayam/ yathāgāram drdhasthūnam jīrnam bhūtvāvasīdati, tathāvasīdanti narā jarāmrtyuvaśam gatāh/ In all the kinds of permutations and combinations, at the finality is 'vinaasha' or destruction. All types of natural consequences of Prakriti or Nature and ups and downs of Life get terminated at the end. Samyoga-Viyogas or the Positive and Negative Impulses of Life end up in death. Like the fresh fruits of a garden, the end result is decay and likewise, birth inevitably follows death. A very strong rooted high building of magnificence eventually tends to wither down and so do the humans end up in death. As a night fall never returns again, like the flows of River Yamuna submerging into the ocean never return. Days and Nights in one's lifetime never return again too like the rays of extreme summer season dry of water reserves. Bharata! You should always think of your own self and let others be governed by their own destiny.. Why are you repeatedly crying away for others, as all of them in their own life's journey, their age of days, years, decades are suitably registered. Each Sun Rise and Sunset are thus accounted for. In each life seperation of parents, children, wives or husbands is inevitable in each and every family and the feeling of seperation no doubt occurs but that again becomes a passing phase and the only certainty is death and could that be reversed ever! Bharata! Indeed our father was deeply virtuous and has had countless dharma karyas like yaginas, charities, and so on yet has had to travel to swarga. But would it not be futile to keep on regretting as his life time was over as in our cases too it should be so sooner or later! sa svastho bhava mā śoco yātvā cāvasa tām purīm, tathā pitrā niyukto 'si vaśinā vadatāmv vara/ yatrāham api tenaiva niyuktah punyakarmanā, tatraivāham karisyāmi pitur āryasya śāsanam/ na mayā śāsanam tasya tyaktum nyāyyam arimdama, tat tvayāpi sadā mānyam sa vai bandhuh sa naḥ pitā/ 'Therefore brother Bharata, do not cry, keep calm without agitation and loss of mental equilibrium; you are no doubt an effective speaker and convincer. Therefore, do retun to Ayodhya and

that precisely the instruction of the ever respectworthy father. As he had directed me, I should continue my forest life as stipulated. It would not behove us to disrespect his instructions as he is not only our friend-philosopher-guide but indeed he was our beloved father. Do honour his feelings and uphold his view point. Then as Shri Rama made his thinking crystal clear and sought Bharata to return back, there was mutual silence.

Sarga One Hundred and Six

Bharata once again requests Rama to assume kingship

Evam uktvā tu virate rāme vacanam arthavat, uvāca bharatas citram dhārmiko dhārmikam vacah/ko hi syād īdršo loke yādršas tvam arimdama, na tvām pravyathayed duhkham prītir vā na praharsayet/ sammatas cāsi vṛddhānām tāms ca pṛcchasi samsayān, yathā mṛtas tathā jīvan yathāsati tathā sati/ yasyaişa buddhilābhaḥ syāt paritapyeta kena saḥ, sa evam vyasanam prāpya na viṣīditum arhati/ amaropamasattvas tvam mahātmā satyasamgarah, sarvajnah sarvadaršī ca buddhimāms cāsi rāghava/ na tvām evam guņair yuktam prabhavābhavakovidam, aviṣahyatamam duḥkham āsādayitum arhati/ proșite mayi yat pāpam mātrā matkāraṇāt krtamc kṣudrayā tad aniṣṭam me prasīdatu bhavān mama/ dharmabandhena baddho 'smi tenemām neha mātaram, hanmi tīvrena dandena dandārhām pāpakārinīm/ katham dasarathāj jātah suddhābhijanakarmanah, jānan dharmam adharmistham kuryām karma jugupsitam/ guruḥ kriyāvān vṛddhaś ca rājā pretah piteti ca, tātam na parigarheyam daivatam ceti samsadi/ko hi dharmārthayor hīnam īdṛśam karma kilbiṣam, striyāḥ priyacikīrṣuḥ san kuryād dharmajña dharmavit/ antakāle hi bhūtāni muhyantīti purāśrutih,rājñaivam kurvatā loke pratyakṣā sā śrutiḥ kṛtā/ sādhv artham abhisamdhāya krodhān mohāc ca sāhasāt, tātasva vad atikrāntam pratyāharatu tad bhavān/pitur hi samatikrāntam putro yah sādhu manyate, tad apatyam matam loke viparītam ato 'nyathā/ tad apatyam bhavān astu mā bhavān duskṛtam pituh, abhipat tat kṛtam karma loke dhīravigarhitam/ kaikeyīm mām ca tātam ca suhrdo bāndhavāms ca nah, paurajānapadān sarvāms trātu sarvam idam bhavān/ kva cāraṇyam kva ca kṣātram kva jaṭāḥ kva ca pālanam, īdṛśam vyāhatam karma na bhavān kartum arhati/ atha kleśajam eva tvam dharmam caritum icchasi, dharmena caturo varnān pālavan kleśam āpnuhi/ caturnām āśramānām hi gārhasthvam śrestham āśramam, āhur dharmajña dharmajñās tam katham tyaktum arhasi/śrutena bālaḥ sthānena janmanā bhavato hy aham, sa katham pālayisyāmi bhūmim bhavati tisthati/hīnabuddhiguno bālo hīnah sthānena cāpy aham, bhavatā ca vinā bhūto na vartayitum utsahe/ idam nikhilam avyagram pitryam rājyam akantakam, anuśādhi svadharmena dharmajña saha bāndhavaih/ ihaiva tvābhisiñcantu dharmajña saha bāndhavaih, rtvijah savasisthāś ca mantravan mantrakovidāh/ abhisiktas tvam asmābhir ayodhyām pālane vraja, vijitya tarasā lokān marudbhir iva vāsavaḥ/ ṛṇāni trīṇy apākurvan durhṛdaḥ sādhu nirdahan, suhṛdas tarpayan kāmais tvam evātrānuśādhi mām/ adyārya muditāḥ santu suhrdas te 'bhişecane, adya bhītāḥ pālayantām durhrdas te diśo daśa/ ākrośam mama mātuś ca pramrjya puruṣarṣabha, adya tatra bhavantam ca pitaram rakṣa kilbisāt/ śirasā tvābhivāce 'ham kurusva karunām mavi, bāndhavesu ca sarvesu bhūtesv iva maheśvarah/ atha vā pṛṣṭhataḥ kṛtvā vanam eva bhavān itaḥ, gamiṣyati gamiṣyāmi bhavatā sārdham apy aham/ tathāpi rāmo bharatena tāmyata; prasādyamānaḥ śirasā mahīpatiḥ, na caiva cakre gamanāya sattvavān; matim pitus tadvacane pratisthitah/ tad adbhutam sthairyam aveksya rāghave; samam jano harsam avāpa duḥkhitaḥ, na yāty ayodhyām iti duḥkhito 'bhavat; sthirapratijñatvam avekṣya harṣitaḥ/ tam rtvijo naigamayūthavallabhās; tathā visamjñāśrukalāś ca mātarah, tathā bruvānam bharatam pratustuvuh; pranamya rāmam ca yayācire sah/

Bharata having patiently heard all the tenets of dharma- one's own karma prarabdha- impact of 'kaala maana'- its transcient nature- and all the vedantic bhashana. Apparently these precepts are required to be stressed again and again. Raghu Veera, is there one in this world who could excel in this mental restraint. Yet, a I have a small comment to make: Indeed one's own psyche would be such that even while realising the realities of existence, one does succumb to the on going situations! *Yatha mritastathaa jeevan yathaasati tathaasati, yasyaisha buddhi laabhah syaat, yasyaisha buddhi laabhah paritapyet kena sah/*

Just as one's life is sustained and goes on, bodily ups and downs should not matter really; likewise the victories and defeats. But how could rule out the likings and dislikings of normal humans. If that strong mindedness is possible, one becomes a 'sthita pragjna' and not an ordinary human. In other words, it is only 'viveka buddhi prapti' that should be the negation of 'santaapa'. Nareshwara! It is only he who could distinguish 'atma and anatma' that one realises 'sankata and vishada' or disastres and sorrows. Raghu nandana! Amaropamasatvastvam mahatmaa satyasamgarah, Sarvagjnah Sarva darsheem cha buddhimaaschaasi Raghava/ You are an exception with satva gunaas like Devatas, Mahatma, Satya pratigina, Sarvagina! It is only such 'mahaanubhaayaas' that are beyond irresistible to lamentations! prosite mayi yat pāpam mātrā matkāranāt krtamc ksudrayā tad anistam me prasīdatu bhavān mama/ dharmabandhena baddho 'smi tenemām neha mātaram, hanmi tīvrena dandena dandārhām pāpakārinīm/ katham dasarathāj jātah suddhābhijanakarmanah, jānan dharmam adharmistham kuryām karma jugupsitam/ As I was away at my maternal grandfather's kingdom, my mother acted with evil thoughts and deeds, but as she happens to by my mother, I cannot punish her physically and hence my sincere appeal to you. I am shackled with the principles of dharma and can not resort to violence. Moreover, my own father who surely understands the distinction of virtue and justice had resorted to this kind of a blatantly unjust decision and as such am having to reap the contemptible consequences as I could not openly admit in public. After all, the King Dasharatha was my father, mentor, and the maha yagina karta and knowing fully well got victimised by a low woman took this far reaching vicious decision. It appears that at the close of one's life, a human being loses balance and tends to take blatantly abhorable verdicts. But for this indiscresion, the glory of Mahatma Dasharatha would be permanent in the annals of human history. Indeed, we have to upkeep that tradition of Ikshvakus and what ever lapses had occurred should not be highlighted. Most dear and revered brother Shri Rama: kaikeyīm mām ca tātam ca suhrdo bāndhavāms ca nah, paurajānapadān sarvāms trātu sarvam idam bhavān/ kva cāranyam kva ca ksātram kva jatāh kva ca pālanam, īdṛśam vyāhatam karma na bhavān kartum arhati/ Do very kindly accept our request to safeguard the interests of my mother, me, the great late father, relalives and friends, the citizens of Ayodhya and the Kingdom. Where is 'vana vaasa' and where is the 'kshaatriya dharma' and 'prajaa paalana'! These mutual contradictions are glaring and blatant. atha kleśajam eva tvam dharmam caritum icchasi, dharmena caturo varnān pālayan kleśam āpnuhi/ caturnām āśramānāṁ hi gārhasthyaṁ śrestham āśramam, āhur dharmajña dharmajñās tam katham tyaktum arhasi/ Which kind of Kshaatra dharma is this excepting praja palana by disregarding which you are following a futuristic vision instead of practising it rightaway! More over the underlining significance of 'chaturashramas' is emphasised as 'grihastaashrama' but not so much of brahmacharya-vaanaprastha-and of sanyasa. Why are you seeking to infringe the well established and univerally followed dharma. Moreover, the viewpoints of 'shastra and dharma inaana' disable me to the status of kingship due to immaturity of thought and deed. Hīnabuddhiguno bālo hīnaḥ sthānena cāpy aham, bhavatā ca vinā bhūto na vartayitum utsahe/ idam nikhilam avyagram pitryam rājyam akantakam, anuśādhi svadharmeņa dharmajña saha bāndhavaih/ ihaiva tvābhişiñcantu dharmajña saha bāndhavaiḥ, rtvijaḥ savasiṣṭhāś ca mantravan mantrakovidāḥ/ I am still a learner and not an administrator and an inexperienced youth who could not even self conduct, let alone 'Rajyaadhikaara! Dharmagina Raghu nandana! Here is the kingdom of a renowned King, do add futher lustre to it as per your 'svdharma' and as per your right and 'vamsha paaramparya kartavya.'. Maharshi Vasishtha, the Mantri Mandali and the whole Public are anxiously awaiting you positive nod of head. The instant consequences of your 'rajyabhishaka' are the high alert to enemy kingdoms, wiping off the departed father's indescretion, my mother's folly, my personal relief, mental peace of the mothers, blessings of the Maharshi Vasishta and the vedic panditas, and avove all the public relief and rejoicings. śirasā tvābhiyāce 'ham kuruṣva karuṇām mayi, bāndhaveṣu ca sarveṣu bhūteṣv iva maheśvaraḥ/ atha vā prsthatah krtvā vanam eva bhavān itah, gamisyati gamisyāmi bhavatā sārdham apy aham/ Shri Rama! I am onec again begging you to kindy oblige my heartfelt prayers, like Maheshwara yields to the beggings of all the affected parties finally for 'Loka Kalyaana'. But still if you do not relent, then I should accompany you too'. Rama was truly moved by Bharta's heartfelf resolve, even as the accompanying Ritvijas the army, and all groups of the citizenship were moved and kept on crying in high pitch as a gesture o begging Rama to oblige returning to Ayodhya.

Sarga One Hundred and Seven

Shri Rama instructs Bharata to return to Ayodhya at once

Punar evam bruvāṇam tu bharatam lakṣmaṇāgrajaḥ, pratyuvaca tataḥ śrīmāñ jñātimadhye 'tisatkṛtaḥ' upapannam idam vākyam yat tvam evam abhāṣathāḥ, jātaḥ putro daśarathāt kaikeyyām rājasattamāt/ purā bhrātah pitā nah sa mātaram te samudvahan, mātāmahe samāśrausīd rājvaśulkam anuttamam/ devāsure ca samgrāme jananyai tava pārthivah, samprahrsto dadau rājā varam ārādhitah prabhuh tatah sā sampratiśrāvya tava mātā yaśasvinī, ayācata naraśreṣṭham dvau varau varavarṇinī/ tava rājyam naravyāghra mama pravrājanam tathā, tac ca rājā tathā tasvai nivuktah pradadau varam/ tena pitrāham apy atra niyuktah purusarsabha, caturdaśa vane vāsam varsāni varadānikam/ so 'ham vanam idam prāpto nirjanam lakşmaṇānvitaḥ, śītayā cāpratidvandvaḥ satyavāde sthitaḥ pituḥ/ bhavān api tathety eva pitaram satyavādinam, kartum arhati rājendram kṣipram evābhiṣecanāt/ ṛṇān mocaya rājānam matkṛte bharata prabhum, pitaram trāhi dharmajña mātaram cābhinandaya/ śrūyate hi purā tāta śrutir gītā yaśasvinī, gayena yajamānena gayeşv eva pitrīn prati/ pum nāmnā narakād yasmāt pitaram trāyate sutaḥ, tasmāt putra iti proktaķ pitrīn yat pāti vā sutaķ estavyā bahavaķ putrā guņavanto bahuśrutāh, teṣām vai samavetānām api kaś cid gayām vrajet/ evam rājarsayah sarve pratītā rājanandana, tasmāt trāhi naraśrestha pitaram narakāt prabho/ ayodhyām gaccha bharata prakṛtīr anurañjaya, śatrughna sahito vīra saha sarvair dvijātibhih/ pravekṣye daṇḍakāraṇyam aham apy avilambayan, ābhyām tu sahito rājan vaidehyā lakṣmaṇena ca/ tvam rājā bhava bharata svayam narāṇām; vanyānām aham api rājarāṇ mṛgāṇām, gaccha tvam puravaram adya samprahṛṣṭah; samhṛṣṭas tv aham api daṇḍakān pravekṣye/ chāyām te dinakarabhāh prabādhamānam; varsatram bharata karotu mūrdhni śītām, etesām aham api kānanadrumānām; chāyām tām atiśayinīm sukham śrayisye/ śatrughnah kuśalamatis tu te sahāyah; saumitrir mama viditah pradhānamitram, catvāras tanayayarā vayam narendram; satyastham bharata carāma mā visādam/

Shri Rama who had thus visualised the state of agitation of Bharata literally begging him to return to Ayodhyas as endorsed by one and all, replied Bharata: Dear brother! You might not be aware that at the time of dear father's wedding with Devi Kaikeyi, then father promised your grandfather that the son of Kaikeyi would be the next king of Ayodhya. After the wedding your mother performed unparalleled service to father. He was mightily pleased and he obliged her to accompany father at the time of Devaasura Battle in which father participated and Devas subdued Asuras and the father was pleased to give a boon to Devi Kaikeyi. The latter out with a mischievous casualness she asked father for two boons and father replied: 'alright two boons'! Now, your mother cashed on those two boons of Bharata's kingship and Rama's vana vassa. Now, Bharata, this was the backdrop as you now know the boons of the father. so 'ham vanam idam prāpto nirjanam laksmaņānvitah, sītayā cāpratidvandvah satyavāde sthitah pituh/ bhayān api tathety eya pitaram satyayādinam, kartum arhati rājendram ksipram eyābhisecanāt/ This was also the consequence your kingship and my 'vana vaasa' which Sita-Lakshmanas joined too. Indeed, there is question of another competitor of any sort; as such it is just and proper that I ought to follow dear respected father's directive and of your kingship. Dharmagina Bharata! For my sake, please relieve respected father's indebtedness to mother Kaikeyi and save his Soul from 'narakas' and at the same time enhance your mother's fulfillment of her inner pleasure to become the Prime Queen too. śrūyate hi purā tāta śrutir gītā yaśasvinī, gayena yajamānena gayeşv eva pitrīn prati/ pum nāmnā narakād yasmāt pitaram trāyate sutah, tasmāt putra iti proktah pitrīn yat pāti vā sutah/ Bharata! It is well known that Raja Gaya perfomed Pitru Yagjna and redeemed the indebtedness of his fore fathers and Putha too redeemed his father and forefathers too.

Vishleshanas in reference to a) Gayaasura and b) Puta / Prithu Chakravarti

Gayasura:

The legend of Gaya Tirtha is recalled in Agni Purana in the Tirtha Mahatmya: Gayasura, the King of Rakshasaas did fierce Tapasya to Maha Vishnu as the latter granted him the boon of materialising a Maha Tirtha by Gayasura's name. All the human beings and Asura-Daityaadi had the darshan of Gauasura and reached Vaikuntha as who ever had his darshan did not have to visit none else to achieve Vaikuntha. Devas and Bahma Deva approached Vishnu as the latter advised to approach Gayasura to let Brahma and Devas perform yagna over Gayasura's huge head. Gaya was in deep sleep and did not respond but still Brahma and Devas were in the process of executing the Yagna and could not perform 'Purnaahuti'the grand finale of the Yagna was still pending. Meanwhile when Gayasura woke up and wished to get up but could not. The Asura became shaky and tried hard to wriggle out from the fire pit, Vishnu advised Yama dharma Raja to keep a heavy boulder on Gaya's head and occupy the Asura's entire body of some eight km. of length till the purnahuti was over. The heavy boulder itself had a background connection: Maharshi Marichi the son of Brahma Deva was once resting in sleep and instucted his wife called Dharmavata to press his legs and not disturb his sleep other wise she would turn as a boulder. Meanwhile Brahma arrived and the wife faced a dillema whether she should obey her husband's instruction not to disturb or announce the arrival of Brahma himself. She set aside Marichi's curse even as she faced the eventuality of her turning as a boulder. She gave a return curse to Marichi to have created an awkward situation for her that Marichi would have to face Maha Deva's wrath in some another connection and entered Agni and purified herself performing tapsya for thousand years. Lord Vishnu thus took advantage of the boulder which was blessed with the foot prints of Devas and utilised for Yama Dharma Raja to place it on Gayaasura's head which eventually became famed as Deva Shila-Sarva Deva Swarupa- Sarva Tirtha mayi-and the unique Pujnya Shila. Even after the Shila was placed on his head the Asura was still breathing and hence Vishnu had to place on his 'Gada' or Mace to fully sniff him out by adding his own presence to this Gaya Tirtha. This 'Adi Gada' was the bakbone of Gajasura which was eventually turned by Deva's Architect Vishwa karma. The most outstanding PitruTirtha in the Universe, to which the Pitru Loka keeps close attention to look forward to the sons of mankind looks forward to Shraddha karmas and Pinda daanas. These Karmas not only redeem the souls of the ancestors by their performance but equally to collect bags of fulfillment to the Shraddha Kartas as far higher proportions manifold.

Puta / Prithu:

Prajapati Anga of Atri Vamsha, a defender of Dharma (Virtue) and an erudite scholar of Shastras was married to Sunitha who also was a follower of virtue and tradition. They were blessed with a son of high virtue called Vena, who on becoming a King, came under the evil influence of an evil muni who followed a Devata called 'Arhan' followed a vicious and immoral way of life and used to preach his 'Praja' (Subjects) not to perform Homas and Yagnas, nor indulge in charities, Vratas and Tirtha Yatras. In fact, he declared that he was Vishnu, Rudra, Brahma, Indra and Devas. The Rishis and Brahmanas were highly upset and undertook a huge procession to the King saying that a King was expected to guide and enforce Dharma, Nyaya (Justice) and discipline but instead Vena was getting self-opinionated by the day. The King shouted angrily that he was Dharma, Nyaya and Punya himself and that he could destroy Earth, throw it under water and break open the skies, if need be! The Rishis and Common men of the Kingdom forced their way to the King, surrounded him, forcibly overpowered and battered him. They screamed and asked him: 'Nishida' or 'sit down' and since then called him 'Nishida!' They rubbed his left thigh with force and out emerged streams of evil Beings like Nishadas, Kirathas, Bheels, Nahalakas, Bhramars, Pulinds and Mlecchas and Rishis were relieved that the King was relieved of sinners from his body. Then they rubbed the King's right hand forcibly and initially came out profuse sweat but later on materialised a 'Maha Purush'-a Unique Personality- and the congregation of Rishis named him King Pruthuand blessed him to herald a Golden Era where the Kingdom was full of propitiousness and Virtue but devoid of 'Akals' (Famines), diseases, untimely deaths, robberies and discontentment anywhere: na durbhiksham na cha Vyadhirnakaala maranam Nrinaam, Sarvey sukhena jeevanti lokaa Dharma paraayanaah! But ChakrayartiPrithu decided to redeem his father King Vena from hells. He performed the duty of a son who

delivers his father from hellish conditions. The word putra means one who delivers from hell, called 'Put', a worthy son who could save from a hell which is called pum-nāma-naraka and 'tra' means trāyate, or deliver. Hence <u>putra means pum-nāma-narakāt trāyate iti putra</u> or that is the son is expected to deliver the forefathers from the hellish condition of life. (Padma Purana)]

Sarga One hundred seven continued: ayodhyām gaccha bharata prakṛtīr anurañjaya, śatrughna sahito vīra saha sarvair dvijātibhiḥ/--- śatrughnaḥ kuśalamatis tu te sahāyaḥ; saumitrir mama viditaḥ pradhānamitram, catvāras tanayavarā vayam narendram; satyastham bharata carāma mā viṣādam/ Shri Rama had thus instructed Bharata ultimately: My dear Bharata! You ought to be therefore return to Ayodhya to administer human beings as the King and I should remain as the King of beasts and forests. Brother Shatrughna would assist you and Lakshmana should assist me too. The four sons of King Dasharatha should be totally dedicated to preserve Dharma; Never ever feel hurt or sorry for this ultimate decision.

Sarga One hundred and eight

Muni Jaabali supports Bharata and his arguments sounded spread of 'nastikata'

Aaśvāsayantam bharatam jābālir brāhmanottamah, uvāca rāmam dharmajñam dharmāpetam idam vacah/ sādhu rāghava mā bhūt te buddhir evam nirarthakā/ prākṛtasya narasyeva ārya buddhes tapasvinah/ śatrughnah kuśalamatis tu te sahāyah; saumitrir mama viditah pradhānamitram, catvāras tanayavarā vayam narendram; satyastham bharata carāma mā viṣādam/Kah kasya pususho bandhuh kimaapyam kasya kenachit, eko hi jaayate jantureka eva vinashyati/ Tasmaan maataa pitaacheti Rama sajjet yo narah, unmatta iva sa jneyo naasti kaschidvi kasyachit/ Yathaa graamaantaram gacchan narah kaś cit kva cid vaset, utsrjya ca tam āvāsam pratisthetāpare 'hani/ evam eva manusyānām pitā mātā grham vasu, āvāsamātram kākutstha sajjante nātra sajjanāh/ pitryam rājyam samutsrjya sa nārhati narottama, āsthātum kāpatham duḥkham viṣamam bahukanṭakam/ samṛddhāyām ayodhyāyām ātmānam abhisecaya, ekayenīdharā hi tyām nagarī sampratīksate/ rājabhogān anubhayan mahārhān pārthivātmaja, vihara tvam ayodhyāyām yathā śakras trivistape/ na te kaś cid daśaratahs tvam ca tasya na kaś cana, anyo rājā tvam anyaś ca tasmāt kuru yad ucyate/ gataḥ sa nṛpatis tatra gantavyam yatra tena vai, pravrttir esā martyānām tvam tu mithyā vihanyase/ arthadharmaparā ve ve tāms tāñ śocāmi netarān, te hi duhkham iha prāpya vināśam pretya bhejire/ astakā pitrdaivat -yam ity ayam prasrto janah, annasyopadravam paśya mrto hi kim aśisyati/ yadi bhuktam ihānyena deham anyasya gacchati, dadyāt pravasatah śrāddham na tat pathy aśanam bhavet/dānasamvananā hy ete granthā medhāvibhih kṛtāh, yajasva dehi dīkṣasva tapas tapyasva saṃtyaja/ sa nāsti param ity eva kuru buddhiṁ mahāmate, pratyakşam yat tad ātiştha parokşam pṛṣṭhatah kuru/ satām buddhim puraskṛtya sarvalokanidarśinīm, rājvam tvam pratigrhnīsva bharatena prasāditah/

As Shri Rama thus persuaded Bharata to return the Kingdom, Viprottama Jaabaali made a comment stating that what all was stated by Shri Rama addressing Bharata was followed by him but unfortunately Rama's statements were perhaps not endorsed by him. *Kah kasya pususho bandhuh kimaapyam kasya kenachit, eko hi jaayate jantureka eva vinashyati/ Tasmaan maataa pitaacheti Rama sajjet yo narah, unmatta iva sa jneyo naasti kaschidvi kasyachit/* In this 'samsaara', who indeed are relatives and who are not as the Human Beings are born or die alone! Is it not foolish to feel that this person is a father or that person is a mother! Are they not travellers fom places to places and how do you think and identify others as a father, mother or a relative or to assert that his money, property, or building are distinct. Therefore Shri Rama, that kind of a 'vedanta' or mind set of aloofness and of 'vairagya' is certainly neither acceptable nor practical. Hence my suggestion should be that you better return to Ayodhya and accept kingship. Theoretically stated that Dasharatha should be none for you but in practical terms he was your own father born out of his union with your mother. *gataḥ sa nṛpatis tatra gantavyam yatra tena vai, pravrttir esā martvānām tvam tu mithvā vihanvase/ arthadharmaparā ve ve tāms tāñ śocāmi netarān, te*

hi duḥkham iha prāpya vināśam pretya bhejire/ As a King needs to go to his kingdom and as such you should return to Ayodhya; why are you not do your duty of kingship and seek to suffer hardships for no justifiable reasons. dānasamvananā hy ete granthā medhāvibhih kṛtāḥ, yajasva dehi dīkṣasva tapas tapyasva samtyaja/ Being a King, you may please Devas by yagjna karyas, perform many charities and such noble tasks worthy of kingship. Do your duties in this birth and worry the least of Para Loka! Sarga One Hundred and Nine

Rama asserts that karma and rebirth are corner stones of 'Astikata'

Jābāles tu vacaḥ śrutvā rāmaḥ satyātmanām varaḥ, uvāca parayā yuktyā svabuddhyā cāvipannayā/ bhavān me priyakāmārtham vacanam yad ihoktavān, akāryam kāryasamkāśam apathyam pathyasammitam/ nirmaryādas tu purusah pāpācārasamanvitah, mānam na labhate satsu bhinnacāritra darśanah/ kulīnam akulīnam vā vīram puruṣamāninam, cāritram eva vyākhyāti śucim vā yadi vāśucim/ anārays tv ārya samkāśaḥ śaucād dhīnas tathā śuciḥ, lakṣaṇyavad alakṣaṇyo duḥśīlaḥ śīlavān iva/ adharmam dharmavesena yadīmam lokasamkaram, abhipatsve subham hitvā krivāvidhivivarjitam/ kas cetayānah puruṣah kāryākāryavicakṣaṇaḥ, bahu mamsyati mām loke durvṛttam lokadūṣaṇam/ kasya yāsyāmy aham vṛttam kena vā svargam āpnuyām, anayā vartamāno 'ham vṛttyā hīnapratijñayā/ kāmayrttas tv ayam lokah krtsnah samupayartate, yadvrttāh santi rājānas tadyrttāh santi hi prajāh/ satyam evānṛśamsyam ca rājavṛttam sanātanam, tasmāt satyātmakam rājyam satye lokah pratisthitah/ rṣayaś caiva devāś ca satyam eva hi menire, satyavādī hi loke 'smin paramam gacchati kṣayam/ udvijante yathā sarpān narād anṛtavādinaḥ, dharmaḥ satyam paro loke mūlam svargasya cocyate/ satyam eveśvaro loke satyam padmā samāśritā, satyamūlāni sarvāņi satyān nāsti param padam/dattam istam hutam caiva taptāni ca tapāmsi ca, vedāh satyapratisthānās tasmāt satyaparo bhavet/ ekah pālayate lokam ekah pālayate kulam, majjaty eko hi niraya ekah svarge mahīyate/ so 'ham pitur nideśam tu kimartham nānupālaye, satyapratiśravah satyam satyena samayīkṛtah/ naiva lobhān na mohād vā na cājñānāt tamo'nvitah, setum satyasya bhetsyāmi guroh satyapratiśravah/ asatyasamdhasya sataś calasyāsthiracetasaḥ, naiva devā na pitaraḥ pratīcchantīti naḥ śrutam/ pratyagātmam imam dharmam satyam paśyāmy aham syayam, bhārah satpurusācīrnas tad artham abhinandyate/ksātram dharmam aham tvaksye hy adharmam dharmasamhitam, ksudraur nrsamsair lubdhais ca sevitam pāpakarmabhih/ kāyena kurute pāpam manasā sampradhārya ca, anrtam jihvayā cāha trividham karma pātakam/ bhūmiḥ kīrtir yaśo laksmīh purusam prārthayanti hi, svargastham cānubadhnanti satyam eva bhajeta tat/ śrestham hy anāryam eva syād yad bhavān avadhārya mām, āha yuktikarair vākyair idam bhadram kurusva ha/ katham hy aham pratijñāya vanavāsam imam guroh, bharatasya karisyāmi vaco hitvā guror vacah/ sthirā mayā pratijñātā pratijñā gurusamnidhau, prahṛstamānasā devī kaikeyī cābhavat tadā/ vanavāsam vasann evam sucir niyatabhojanah, mūlaih puspaih phalaih punyaih pitrīn devāms ca tarpayan/ samtuştapañcavargo 'ham lokayātrām pravartaye, akuhaḥ śraddadhānaḥ san kāryākārya vicakṣaṇaḥ/ karmabhūmim imām prāpya kartavyam karma yac chubham, agnir vāyuś ca somaś ca karmanām phalabhāginah/ śatam kratūnām āhrtva devarāt tridivam gatah, tapāmsv ugrāni cāsthāva diyam yātā maharsayah/ satyam ca dharmam ca parākramam ca; bhūtānukampām priyayāditām ca, dvijātidevātithipūjanam ca; panthānam āhus tridivasya santaḥ/ dharme ratāḥ satpuruṣaiḥ sametās; tejasvino dānagunapradhānāh, ahimsakā vītamalāś ca loke; bhavanti pūjyā munayah pradhānāh/

As Maha Pandita Jaabala raised somewhat none too realistic questions smacking of 'nastikata', Shri Rama stated quietly yet decisively as per the lines of Shritis. He said: 'Vipravara! Whatever you have described as if it should be my duty to return to Ayodhya even much against my father's instructions; indeed they appear palatable but are not so. As a human being discards the 'Veda Maryada' and acts as per one's own wishful thinking and resorts to the infringement of approved principles, then he distances from both 'aachaara and vichara' or the tradition and self analysis. That is why 'satpurushas' would not approve of such end results. It is the tradition of a kula or varna that decides as to who is virtuous or not. The pattern of thinking that you have expressed is truly speaking the 'anaarya' or non traditional. That kind of mind set appears to be appealing on the face of it but is impure on closer examination. For

instance the eventuality of my return to Ayodhya even disregard of 'Pitru agina' looks attractive but actually that becomes void from the standpoint of tradition and the approved principles of virtue and justice. As per your advice the path to be treaded on apparently appears justifiable but indeed that would not be so as per the traditional values and norms. You stated that once my father had gone away, he would not be any body to me and vice versa. Then why one should perform 'tarpanas and pinda pradaanaas'! You stated that we are all travellers and need to remember them again! Does Dharma approve this 'nastikata'! You affirmed that by the path that you have recommended would free me from my inhibitions, since what ever a King does is that which that his public would follow. Pray! What type of kingdom that is with neither scruples nor principles! Be it known for good: satyam evānrśamsyam ca rājayrttam sanātanam, tasmāt satyātmakam rājyam satye lokah pratisthitah/ rsayaś caiva devāś ca satyam eva hi menire, satyavādī hi loke 'smin paramam gacchati ksayam/ udvijante yathā sarpān narād anṛtavādinah, dharmah satyam paro loke mūlam svargasya cocyate/ satyam eveśvaro loke satyam padmā samāśritā, satyamūlāni sarvāni satyān nāsti param padam/ 'Satya paalana' or Obedience to Truthfulness is the prime most dharma. That is the age old tradition; if a kingdom is of 'Satva swarupa' or of the form of Truth and Virtue, that becomes the approved tradition. Rishis and Devatas always seek to uphold truthfulness and those 'satyavaadi' humans do invariably accomplish higher lokas. Persons who resort to untruthfulness are timid and are afraid of everything such as serpents. The heights of truthful nature are thus considered as the roots of human excellence. satyam evesvaro loke satyam padmā samāśritā, satyamūlāni sarvāni satyān nāsti param padam/ dattam istam hutam caiva taptāni ca tapāmsi ca, vedāh satyapratisthānās tasmāt satyaparo bhavet/ Truthfulness is Paramatma and dharma is anchored to it. That indeed is the very root of existence and there is no 'paramapada' or Salvation therebeyond. That human who administers the world and represents a clan tends to either sinks into narakas or achieves swarga on the basis of truthfulness or its negation. so 'ham pitur nideśam tu kimartham nānupālaye, satyapratiśravah satyam satyena samayīkṛtah/ naiva lobhān na mohād vā na cājñānāt tamo 'nvitah, setum satyasya bhetsyāmi guroh satyapratiśravah/ I have had already taken the oath of following my father's decision in the name of truthfulness, and am not foolish to reverse the instructions of my father under any circumstances, either by temptations or avarice or misguidances. It is learnt that those who crumble under temptations having sworn by truth become ineligible to 'havya kavyas' as accepted from pitru devatas and Devatas post life. As a hold 'Satya Swarupi Dharma' in high esteem as applicable to humanity, I should continue to be dressed in 'jataa valkas' and practise 'taapasa dharma'. kṣātram dharmam aham tyaksye hy adharmam dharmasamhitam, ksudraur nrśamsair lubdhaiś ca sevitam pāpakarmabhih/ What all had been prescribed as 'kshaatra dharma' but gets negated by lowly, cruel, avaricious and sinful villians, would most certainly be rejected by me. kāyena kurute pāpam manasā sampradhārya ca, anrtam jihvayā cāha trividham karma pātakam/ What all sins that humans do by their body are the consequences of their mental aberrations Then with the help of their tongues and voices convey to others with the help of others perform with their bodies. Thus all human deeds mainly of sinful deeds are executed and committed by three channels viz. kaayika- vaachaka-maanasika or body-voice-and mind based. Earth, fame, glory and prosperity are all ever anxious to get hinged on to truthful human beings and thus there is the necessity of serving only truthfulness. Brahmanottama Jaabaali! Your suggestion, argument, and considered instruction that I should take over the kingship is therefore sir! never worthy of acceptance as it would shatter the precepts of 'satya and nyaaya' or truth and justice. How indeed could then redeem father's decision eithet by Bharara's supplications or your way of mind set! The sworn decision before the my precepters is irrevocable and unalterable and that had also comforted Devi Kaikeyi's mindset. I should therefore reiterate my decisiveness to be dressed up, consume 'phala-moola-patra- pushpaas' and have the Pitru Devas and Devata's comforted, as instructed. I have already decided a to what should be done and how to conduct myself; I will carry on by contenting my panchendriyas with kanda-moola- phaalas and carry on by observig my father's directiveness. I will abide by the features of the 'karma bhumi' aided by natural air, fire, water, light, and sky and their alterations as per the Seasonality. Deva Raja Indra should have successfully performed a series of yaginas to attain that status and so should have Maharshis done severe tapasyas and reached higher lokas. satyam ca dharmam ca parākramam ca; bhūtānukampām priyavāditām ca, dvijātidevātithipūjanam ca; panthānam āhus tridivasya santah/ dharme ratāh

satpuruṣaiḥ sametās; tejasvino dānaguṇapradhānāḥ, ahimsakā vītamalāś ca loke; bhavanti pūjyā munayaḥ pradhānāḥ/ The vedic assertion states that 'Satya- Dharma-Paraakrama- Samsasta Praani Daya- and Priya Vaachana, besides Deva-Atithi-Brahmana Puja are the essential features of Noble Humans leading to swarga loka and bliss. Dharme ratāḥ satpuruṣaiḥ sametās; tejasvino dānaguṇapradhānāḥ, ahimsakā vītamalāś ca loke; bhavanti pūjyā munayaḥ pradhānāḥ/ Finally, Vipravarya! It is only such Shreshtha Munis who practise dharma, satpurusha sangata, tejo sampanna, daana pradhaana,and asimhaa-charanaas that are worthy of prostrations!' As Shri Rama explained in some detail about the tenets of Aastikata- Dharma- Nishchaya-and Indriya Nigraha, Pandita Jaabali replied: Shri Rama! I am neither a 'Naastika' nor of 'Nastikata' but unfortunatly uttered such statements which were from the 'vyavahaarika sambandha aalochanas' which do indeed sound of traces of 'nastikata'. My thinking pattern was only oriented to Bharata's earnestness that you might return to assume kingship due to his inablity to mainain the dignity of the kingdom vis-à-vis your own glory and capability. The 'loukika vyavahaara' got blurred unfotunately and dimmed up the radiance of Dharma and Kartavya; I am indeed ashamed of myself as I was momentarily entering into the labyrinths of social customs and mindsets!

Sarga One Hundred and Ten

Maharshi Vasishtha traces the geneology of Ikshvaku Vamsha and asks to uphold its fame and assume Kinghip as the eldest son of Dasharatha

Kruddham ājñāya rāma tu vasisthah pratyuvāca ha, jābālir api jānīte lokasyāsya gatāgatim, nivartayitu kāmas tu tvām etad vākyam abravīt/ imām lokasamutpattim lokanātha nibodha me, sarvam salilam evāsīt prthivī yatra nirmitā, tatah samabhavad brahmā svayambhūr daivataih saha/ sa varāhas tato bhūtvā projjahāra vasumdharām, asrjac ca jagat sarvam saha putraih kṛtātmabhih/ ākāśaprabhavo brahmā śāśvato nitya avyayah, tasmān marīcih saṃjajñe marīceh kaśyapah sutah/ vivasvān kaśyapāj jajñe manur vaivasvatah smrtah, sa tu prajāpatih pūrvam iksvākus tu manoh sutah/ yasveyam prathamam dattā samṛddhā manunā mahī, tam ikṣvākum ayodhyāyām rājānam viddhi pūrvakam/ ikṣvākos tu sutaḥ śrīmān kuksir eveti viśrutah, kukser athātmajo vīro vikuksir udapadvata/ vikukses tu mahātejā bānah putrah pratāpavān, bānasva tu mahābāhur anaranyo mahāvaśāh/ nānā vrstir babhūvāsmin na durbhiksam satām vare, anaraņye mahārāje taskaro vāpi kaś cana/anaraņyān mahābāhuḥ pṛthū rājā babhūva ha, tasmāt prthor mahārājas triśankur udapadyata, sa satyavacanād vīrah saśarīro divam gatah/ triśankor abhavat sūnur dhundhumāro mahāyaśāh, dhundhumārān mahātejā yuvanāśvo vyajāyata/ yuvanāśva sutah śrīmān māndhātā samapadyata, māndhātus tu mahātejāh susamdhir udapadyata/ susamdher api putrau dvau dhruvasamdhih prasenajit, yasasvī dhruvasamdhes tu bharato ripusūdanah/ bharatāt tu mahābāhor asito nāma jāyata, yasyaite pratirājāna udapadyanta śatravah, haihayās tālajaṅghāś ca śūrāś ca śaśabindavah/ tāṁs tu sarvān prativyūhya yuddhe rājā pravāsitah, sa ca śailavare ramye babhūvābhirato munih, dve cāsya bhārye garbhinyau babhūvatur iti śrutih/ bhārgavaś cyavano nāma himavantam upāśritah, tam rsim samupāgamva kālindī tv abhvavādavat/ sa tām abhvavadad vipro varepsum putrajanmani, tatah sā grham āgamya devī putram vyajāyata/ sapatnyā tu garas tasyai datto garbhajighāmsayā, gareṇa saha tenaiva jātaḥ sa sagaro 'bhavat/ sa rājā sagaro nāma yaḥ samudram akhānayat, istvā parvani vegena trāsayantam imāh prajāh/ asamañjas tu putro 'bhūt sagarasyeti nah śrutam, jīvann eva sa pitrā tu nirastah pāpakarmakrt/ aṁśumān iti putro 'bhūd asamañjasya vīryavān, dilīpo 'msumatah putro dilīpasya bhagīrathah/ bhagīrathāt kakutsthas tu kākutsthā yena tu smrtāh, kakutsthasya tu putro 'bhūd raghur yena tu rāghavah/ raghos tu putras tejasvī pravrddhah puruṣādakah, kalmāṣapādaḥ saudāsa ity evam prathito bhuvi/kalmāṣapādaputro 'bhūc chankhaṇas tv iti viśrutaḥ, yas tu tad vīryam āsādya sahaseno vyanīnaśat/ śaṅkhaṇasya tu putro 'bhūc chūraḥ śrīmān sudarśanaḥ, sudarśanasyāgnivarņa agnivarṣasya śīghragaḥ/ śīghragasya maruḥ putro maroḥ putraḥ praśuśrukaḥ, praśuśrukasya putro 'bhūd ambarīso mahādyutih/ ambarīsasya putro 'bhūn nahusah satyavikramah, nahusasya ca nābhāgah putrah paramadhārmikah/ ajaś ca suvrataś caiva nābhāgasya sutāv ubhau, ajasya caiva dharmātmā rājā daśarathaḥ sutaḥ/ tasya jyeṣṭho 'si dāyādo rāma ity abhiviśrutaḥ, tad grhāna svakam rājvam aveksasva jagan nrpa/iksvākūnām hi sarvesām rājā bhavati pūrvajah,

pūrvajenāvaraḥ putro jyeṣṭho rājye 'bhiṣicyate/ sa rāghavāṇām kuladharmam ātmanaḥ; sanātanam nādya vihātum arhasi, prabhūtaratnām anuśādhi medinīm; prabhūtarāṣṭrām piṭrvan mahāyaśāḥ/

Maharshi Vasishtha then endorsed the view point of Jabaali Maharshi in a way as the beings on earth do come and go by way of births and deaths and that would not imply 'naastikata' or the science of Godlessness. Rama! The incoming and outgoing traffic of the universe was what Jabali Maharshi had talked of. Now, let me explain to you about the basics of Srishti. Before Srishti, the Universe was 'jala maya'; then Swayambhu Para Brahma got manifested. Then Bhagavan Vishnuswarupa Brahma evidenced floating on the sheets of water.. Sa varāhas tato bhūtvā projjahāra vasumdharām, asrjac ca jagat sarvam saha putraiḥ krtātmabhiḥ/ Subsequently, Vishnuswarupa Parabrahma appeared as Varaha Swarupa and pulled up Prithvi and initiated srishti of Beings.

[Vishleshana of Varaha: Brahmanda Purana is quoted: At the Kalpantara Pralaya or the Great Extermination of the Universe, the whole World got submerged in deep water as 'Ekarnava' or a single sheet of Water and the 'Sthaavara Jangamaas' or the Mobile and Immobile Beings were all submerged, then Para Brahma called Narayana, who was of 'Sahasraaksha, Sahasrapaat, Sahasra Shirsha' or of thousand eyes, feet and heads, was resting on the huge surface of water: Apo Naara iti proktaa Apo vai Nara Sunavah, Ayanam tasya taah proktaastena Narayanah smritah/ ('Apah' denotes 'Nara' or water; 'Naaraas' or the children or waves of 'Nara'; and Nara is a Being or Entity; Nara plus Ayana is Narayana as he who rests on Samsara or water). Narayana sought to locate Prithvi (Earth) deep down in water and assumed Varaahaavatara or the Incarnation of a Huge Boar like a mountain with ten yojanas of girth and hundred yojanas of height (one Yojana being 12 km), with a body of cloud-like complexion and extreme radiance of many Lightnings, Fire and Sun; making thunderous and high-pitched sounds and having broad shoulders, sharp fangs, white teeth and pointed nails. The YajnaVaraha is described as follows: Diksha Samaapteeshtim damshtrtah kratu danto Juhuumukhah, Agni jihvo darbha romaa Brahma seersho Mahatapaah/ Veda skandho havirgandhirhavyakavyaadi vegavaan, Praagvamsha kaayo Dyutimaan naanaa Dikshaabhiranvitah/ Dakshinaa hridayo Yogi Shraddhaa satwa -mayo Vibhuh, Upaakarma ruchischaiva pravagyaavarta bhushanah/ Naanaachhandogati patho guhyopanishad aasanah, Maayaapatnisahaayo vai Giri shringamivocchrayah/ Aho raatrekshana dharo Vedanga shriti bhushanah, Aajya gandhah struvastundah Samaghosa swano Mahaan/ Satyadharma mayah Shrimaan Karma vikrama saskrutah, Prayaschitta nakho ghorah Pashujaanurmahaamakhah/ Udgaadaantro Homa Lingah Phala beeja mahoushadheeh, Vaadyantaraatmasatrasya naasmikaasomashonitah/ (The Yagna Varaha took up the diksha or Initiation of the Kratu or the Sacifice with his 'damshtras' or curved fangs and teeth holding the 'Juhu' or the crescent shaped wooden ladle with which to make the offerings of ghee; Agni was his tongue to lap up the Sacrifice; Darbha grasses were the Varaha's hairs; Brahma one of the Chief of 'Ritviks' or the Brahmanas performing the Sacrifice was comparable to Varaha Murti's Head; Vedaas were his shoulders; his body-aroma was his 'havis' or the Sacrificial Offering; the Havya and Kayya or the offerings to Devas and Pitru Devas respectively consituted his body-speedwith which the Sacrificial Offerings were made; the 'Praagvamsha' or the East-bound Chamber in which the guests at the Sacrifice were seated was Varaha's kaaya or the spacious physique; He was highly radiant and capable of accepting several Dikshas like the one being performed; He was the Master of Yoga full of Shraddha and Satwa or Sincerity and Resolve; he had Upakarma or extra study of Vedas and an expert in 'Pragvargya' or the Introductory Ceremony to the long-duration Soma Sacrifice; his 'Avarta Bhushana' or the ornamental and circular curls of the boar chest; the representation of various 'Chaandas' or Poetic Meters as his pathway; Upanishads as his seat; his able asistance is Maya as his spouse; his height was that of a mountain peak; his eyes representing Sun and moon and day and night; Vedangas and Shritis were his ear-ornaments; his body smell was that of 'Ajya' or the Ghee offering; Sruva or the sacrificial ladle is like his snout or muzzle; his voice was like the high pitch of the chanting of Saama Veda hymns; 'Udgata' or the elongated Sama Veda hymn was like his entrail or intestines; homa was his Linga or Symbol; fruits and seeds are his testicles; the altar of sacrifice was his heart; He was an Epitome of Satya Dharma and Soma Rasa was his own blood.) Thus Yajna Varaha Deva, as Nasika Soma sonita, dived

deep into waters and lifted up Earth, allocated waters into Oceans and Rivers on Earth, materialised Mountains to stabilise the waters thus allocated, broadly created Sapta Dwipas on Earth, materialised Bhurbhuvassuraadi Lokas and their inhabitants on the same pattern as in the previous Kalpas before the Great Pralaya.]

Sarga hundred ten continues: ākāśaprabhavo brahmā śāśvato nitya avyayaḥ, tasmān marīciḥ samjajñe marīceḥ kaśyapaḥ sutaḥ/ vivasvān kaśyapāj jajñe manur vaivasvataḥ smṛtaḥ, sa tu prajāpatiḥ pūrvam iksvākus tu manoh sutah/ Aakaasha Swarupa Parabrahma once manifested as the indestructible and permanent, he created Marichi and from the latter was born Kashyapa Muni. From Kashyapa was born Visavaan and from the latter Vivasvanta Manu the foremost Prajapati whose son was Ikshvaaku.(Ref. Vishleshana of Sarga One of Essence of Vaalmiki Baala Ramayana). King Ikshvaaku's lineage was Kukshi-Vivukshi-Baan- Anaranya a famed King a maha tapasvi, in whose kingship there no anavrishtiakaala-chora bhaya. Anarnya's further lineage were the well known Kings Prithu- Trishanku for whom Brahmarshi Vishvamitra created a mid sky Trishanku Svarga- Dundhumaara-Yuvanaashva-Maandhata-Susumdhi- Dhruvasundhi-Shatrusudana-Asita who surrended himself to enemy king. Maharshi Vasishtha then described about King Asita and his two wives and both of them became garbhavatis. One of the wives named Kalindi venerated Chyavana Muni of the vamsha of Maharshi Bhrigu and having prostrated to the Muni requested for an exellent son who would be a Chakravarti. Then Chyavana Muni blessed Kalindi to give birth to a glorious son. But the second wife got the news of the Muni's boon to Kalindi and got jealous and surreptitiously poisoned Kalindi but the Muni's blessing was still intact and a boy was born with 'gara' or poison and was thus named Sa-gara who eventually became Sagara Chakravarti. Then in that lineage was born 'Asamanjasa' who turned out to be a villian and was turned out of the Kingdom. In the further lineage of Kings were Ashumaan-Dileep- and the renowned Bhagiratha who brought 'akaasha ganga' by shher perseverance and tapasya to redeem the Souls of his forefathers. Bhagirath's son was 'Kakuthsa' as Shri Rama is known as of Kakutsa Vamsha. Kakutsa's son was Raghu and hence Rama is famed as Raghava. Raghava son was Kalmaashapaada who unfortunately became a victim of a Muni 'shaapa' and turned as a rakshasa for some years and after the prescribed time lag, he bacame known as King Saudasa. Kalmashapaada's son was Maha Veera Shankhana who was no doubt a 'veera parakrami' but on one his battles attained 'veera swaraga'. The further lineage included Sudarshana-Agnivarna-Sheeghraghna-Maru-Prashushrava and the famed _Ambareesha- Nahusha and Naabhaga-. Aja and Suvrara- and Aja's son was Dasharatha. Rama! You are the eldest son and thus in the lineage, Kingship of Ayodhya belongs to you as the eldest son and you oaught to assume its kingship as your bounded duty; tasya jyestho 'si dāyādo rāma ity abhiviśrutah, tad grhāna svakam rājyam aveksasva jagan nrpa/iksvākūnām hi sarvesām rājā bhavati pūrvajah, pūrvajenāvarah putro jyestho rājye 'bhisicyate/Indeed as per the lineage detailed as above, it is your bounden responsibility to assume the Kingship without a question. Shri Rama! Kindly do not infringe the hereditary's dharma of Raghuvamsha now and take up the administration of the Kindom straightaway.

Sarga One Hundred and Eleven

Shri Rama reiterates that 'Pitru Agjna' was paramount yet doubled edged that he should undergo vana vaasa and Bharata should rule for that period only!

Vasiṣṭḥas tu tadā rāmam uktvā rājapurohitaḥ, abravīd dharmasamyuktam punar evāparam vacaḥ/puruṣasyeha jātasya bhavanti guravas trayaḥ, ācāryaś caiva kākutstha pitā mātā ca rāghava/pitā hy enam janayati puruṣam puruṣarṣabha, prajñām dadāti cācāryas tasmāt sa gurur ucyate/sa te 'ham pitur ācāryas tava caiva paramtapa, mama tvam vacanam kurvan nātivarteḥ satām gatim/imā hi te pariṣadaḥ śreṇayaś ca samāgatāḥ, eṣu tāta caran dharmam nātivarteḥ satām gatim/vrddhāyā dharmaśīlāyā mātur nārhasy avartitum, asyās tu vacanam kurvan nātivarteḥ satām gatim/bharatasya vacaḥ kurvan yācamānasya rāghava, ātmānam nātivartes tvam satyadharmaparākrama/evam madhuram uktas tu

gurunā rāghavah svayam, pratyuvāca samāsīnam vasistham purusarsabhah/ van mātāpitarau vrttam tanaye kurutaḥ sadā, na supratikaraṁ tat tu mātrā pitrā ca yat kṛtam/ yathāśakti pradānena snāpanāc chādanena ca, nityam ca priyavādena tathā samvardhanena ca/ sa hi rājā janayitā pitā daśaratho mama, ājñātam yan mayā tasya na tan mithyā bhaviṣyati/ evam uktas tu rāmeṇa bharatah pratyanantaram, uvāca paramodārah sūtam paramadurmanāh/ iha me sthandile sīghram kusān āstara sārathe, ārvam pratyupavekṣyāmi yāvan me na prasīdati/ anāhāro nirāloko dhanahīno yathā dvijaḥ, śeṣye purastāc chālāyā yāvan na pratiyāsyati/ sa tu rāmam avekṣantam sumantram prekṣya durmanāḥ, kuśottaram upasthāpya bhūmāy eyāstarat syayam/ tam uyāca mahātejā rāmo rājarsisattamāh, kim mām bharata kurvānam tāta pratyupaveksyasi/brāhmano hy ekapārsvena narān roddhum ihārhati, na tu mūrdhāva siktānām vidhih pratyupaveśane/uttistha naraśārdūla hitvaitad dārunam vratam, puravaryām itah ksipram ayodhyām yāhi rāghava/ āsīnas tv eva bharatah paurajānapadam janam, uvāca sarvatah preksya kim āryam nānuśāsatha/ te tam ūcur mahātmānam paurajānapadā janāh, kākutstham abhijānīmaḥ samyag vadati rāghavaḥ/ eṣo 'pi hi mahābhāgaḥ pitur vacasi tiṣṭhati, ata eva na śaktāḥ smo vyāvartayitum añjasā/ teṣām ājñāya vacanam rāmo vacanam abravīt, evam nibodha vacanam suhrdām dharmacaksusām/ etac caivobhavam śrutvā samvak sampaśva rāghava, uttistha tvam mahābāho mām ca spṛśa tathodakam/ athotthāya jalam spṛṣṭvā bharato vākyam abravīt, śṛṇvantu me pariṣado mantriṇaḥ śrenayas tathā/ na yāce pitaram rājyam nānuśāsāmi mātaram, āryam paramadharmajñam abhijānāmi rāghavam/ yadi tv avasyam vastavyam kartavyam ca pitur vacah, aham eva nivatsyāmi caturdasa vane samāh/ dharmātmā tasya tathyena bhrātur vākyena vismitah, uvāca rāmah sampreksya paurajānapadam janam/ vikrītam āhitam krītam yat pitrā jīvatā mama, na tal lopayitum śakyam mayā vā bharatena vā/ upadhir na mayā kāryo vanavāse jugupsitaḥ, yuktam uktam ca kaikeyyā pitrā me sukṛtam kṛtam/ jānāmi bharatam kṣāntam gurusatkārakāriṇam, sarvam evātra kalyāṇam satyasamdhe mahātmani/ anena dharmaśīlena vanāt pratyāgatah punah, bhrātrā saha bhavisyāmi prthivyāh patir uttamah vrto rājā hi kaikeyyā mayā tad vacanam kṛtam, anṛtān mocayānena pitaram tam mahīpatim/

Maharshi Vasishtha while seeking to persuade Rama to return to Ayodhya and assume the Kingship further advises Rama that in the context of men of virtue, three preceptors were stated as sgnificant-Acharya-Pita- and Maata. Fathers are the roots of birth and Acharyas provide 'Jnaana'. Now, the Maharshi was the Guru of both Dasharatha and Rama too and hence the former's directive be taken as supreme. Moreover, the entire public, relatives, guides, co-kings, were unanimous in wishing Rama to Ayodhya and assume kingship. Further, Devi Kousalya as the own mother precedes priority as Scripts prescribe highest primacy as 'Maatru Devo bhava- Pitru Devo bhava- Achaarya Devo bhaba'! Raghu nandana Rama! You are the emblem and store-house of Satya-Dharma-Parakrama. Bharata has been earnestly supplicating you to return to Ayodhya and assume Kingship and that would certainly not be an infringement of dharma. Then Shri Rama replied respectfully to Maharshi Vasishtha: yan mātāpitarau vṛttam tanaye kurutah sadā, na supratikaram tat tu mātrā pitrā ca yat kṛtam/ yathāśakti pradānena snāpanāc chādanena ca, nityam ca priyavādena tathā samvardhanena ca/ sa hi rājā janayitā pitā daśaratho mama, āiñātam van mayā tasya na tan mithyā bhavisyati/In the context of a mother-father-son there always exists a bond of togetherness-affection and closeness. The parents as per their financial and societal limitations afford to their children the best possible physical comforts of food- bed- seating and play by the least possible hurt of the sentiments, good health and mind set. No child in their respective life spans could never ever repay the care and the anxiety of the parents. Now, when my 'janma daata' Maha Raja Dasharatha had given me an instuction and how indeed that could be disobeyed and made futile!' As Maharshi and Raja Guru Vasishtha too exhorted Shri Rama and of now avail, Bharata finally addressed Sarathi Sumantra: 'Sumantra! Please spread out 'Kushaagrass' as a mat on this 'vedi' of a rock block and till such time these persuasions, arguments, and Rama's counter replies continue about my return to Ayodhya for kingship, I should follow 'aamarana deeksha' with neither water nor food, - just like a pauper brahmana would perform a 'niraahara deeksha' at the threshold of a 'dhanvaan vaishya'- right opposite Rama's kuteera'.' Bharata himself spread out a 'kaushaasana' and got seated. Then Rama addressed Bharata in a vexed up tone: 'Which awful deed have I done for you Bharata as you have been harrassing me in this way! Yes; a Brahmana might do likewise but never a kshatriya!'uttistha

naraśārdūla hitvaitad dārunam vratam, puravaryām itah ksipram ayodhyām yāhi rāghava/ Raghu nandana Bharata! Do not please take over this 'kathora vrata'; get up and go back to Ayodhya instantly!' Bharata then addressed the public seeing the happenings and asked them to express their views and their representative replied: te tam ūcur mahātmānam paurajānapadā janāḥ, kākutstham abhijānīmaḥ samyag vadati rāghavah/ eso 'pi hi mahābhāgah pitur vacasi tisthati, ata eva na śaktāh smo vyāvartayitum añjasā/ 'Sirs, what Sri Bharata has been pleading for most certainly is justified; yet, Shri Rama has been consistently and most sincerely emphazising the truth of 'pitru agina' and hence his inability to return'. As the public too expressed their balanced view, Rama addressed Bharata to heed the public opinion of dharma and thus withdraw his 'kathora vrata'. Bharata stood up and declared having touched water as mark of the pratigina and asserted: 'May this be clearly understood by the public, the Ministers and all: Neither I had solicited my father or my mother about the kingdom and at the same time I am not agreeable that Rama should leave for vana vaasa. Yet, as Rama insists for 'pitru vaakya paripaalata', I too should follow suit and perform 'vana vaasa'! 'Shri Rama was taken aback at Bharata's decisiveness and addressed Bharata that late father's instruction was double edged that Rama should leave for fourteen years and Bharata should rule during that period. anena dharmaśīlena vanāt pratyāgatah punah, bhrātrā saha bhavişyāmi pṛthivyāḥ patir uttamaḥ/ vṛto rājā hi kaikeyyā mayā tad vacanam kṛtam, anṛtān mocayānena pitaram tam mahīpatim/ Therefore, I will most certainly return after fourteen years and assume the kingship; as Devi Kaikeyi sought the two boons, please do accept the kingship for fourteen years and ensure that late father's directive be not infringed upon!'

Sarga One Hundred and Twelve

As Bharata was not ready yet to return to Ayodhya, Shri Rama grants his 'charana paadukaas' and finally bid farewell to Bharata and the entourage

Tam apratimatejobhyām bhrātrbhyām romaharşanam, vismitāh samgamam prekṣya samavetā maharşayah/ antarhitās tv rṣigaṇāh siddhāś ca paramarṣayah, tau bhrātarau mahātmānau kākutsthau praśaśamsire/ sa dhanyo yasya putrau dvau dharmajñau dharmavikramau, śrutvā vayam hi sambhāsām ubhayoh sprhayāmahe/ tatas tv rsiganāh ksipram daśagrīvavadhaisinah, bharatam rājaśārdūlam ity ūcuh samgatā vacaḥ/kule jāta mahāprājña mahāvrtta mahāyaśaḥ,grāhyam rāmasya vākyam te pitaram yady aveksase/ sadānrnam imam rāmam vayam icchāmahe pituh, anrnatvāc ca kaikevyāh svargam daśaratho gataḥ/ etāvad uktvā vacanam gandharvāḥ samaharṣayaḥ, rājarṣayaś caiva tathā sarve svām svām gatim gatāh/ hlāditas tena vākyena śubhena śubhadarśanah, rāmah samhrstavadanas tān rsīn abhyapūjayat/ srastagātras tu bharatah sa vācā sajjamānayā, kṛtāñjalir idam vākyam rāghavam punar abravīt/ rājadharmam anuprekṣya kuladharmānusamtatim, kartum arhasi kākutstha mama mātuś ca yācanām/ rakşitum sumahad rājyam aham ekas tu notsahe, paurajānapadāms cāpi raktān rañjayitum tathā/ jñātayaś ca hi yodhāś ca mitrāṇi suhrdaś ca naḥ tvām eva pratikānkṣante parjanyam iva karṣakāḥ/ idam rājyam mahāprājña sthāpaya pratipadya hi, śaktimān asi kākutstha lokasya paripālane/ ity uktyā nyapatad bhrātuḥ pādayor bharatas tadā, bhṛśam samprārthayām āsa rāmam evam priyam vadaḥ/ tam anke bhrātaram krtvā rāmo vacanam abravīt, śyāmam nalinapatrākṣam mattahamsasvaraḥ svayam/ āgatā tvām iyam buddhih svajā vainayikī ca yā, bhṛśam utsahase tāta raksitum pṛthivīm api/ amātyaiś ca suhrdbhiś ca buddhimadbhiś ca mantribhih, sarvakāryāni sammantrya sumahānty api kāraya/ laksmīś candrād apeyād vā himavān vā himam tyajet, atīyāt sāgaro velām na pratijñām aham pituh/kāmād vā tāta lobhād vā mātrā tubhyam idam kṛtam, na tan manasi kartavyam vartitavyam ca mātṛvat/ evam bruvāṇam bharataḥ kausalyāsutam abravīt, tejasādityasamkāśam pratipaccandradarśanam/ adhirohārya pādābhyām pāduke hemabhūṣite, ete hi sarvalokasya yogakṣemam vidhāsyatah/ so 'dhiruhya naravyāghraḥ pāduke hy avaruhya ca, prāyacchat sumahātejā bharatāya mahātmane/ sa pāduke te bharatah pratāpavān; svalamkrte samparigrhya dharmavit, pradaksinam caiva cakāra rāghavam; cakāra caivottamanāgamūrdhani/ athānupūrvyāt pratipūjya tam janam; gurūms ca mantriprakrtīs tathānujau, vyasarjayad rāghavavamśavardhanah; sthitah svadharme himavān ivācalah/tam mātaro bāspagrhīta -

kaṇṭho; duḥkhena nāmantrayitum hi śekuḥ/, sa tv eva mātr̄r abhivādya sarvā; rudan kuṭīm svām praviveśa rāmaḥ/

As Shri Rama thus has almost got convinced Bharata that afrer all, he should return back to Ayodhya after the interrugnum of fourteen years of vana vaasa any way, the Rishis tried to clinch Bharata's wavering mind especially as they possess the fururistic vision of Ravana's killing by Shri Rama and therefore made the conclusive persuasion of Bharata. As the group of Maharshis thus supported his assurance of returning back thereafter, Rama complemented the Maharshis. Bharata too was somewhat softened his outlook and stated: 'As you surely are aware the 'kula dharma' emphasizes that the eldest son only is eligible to Kingship and only to please my mother I might perhaps be constrained to agree to a mere and purely temporary dispensation of maintaining the name of the kingdom which might please only my mother; however, surely I would not be able to meet the expectations of the public of the kingdom. jñātayaś ca hi yodhāś ca mitrāṇi suhrdaś ca naḥ, tvām eva pratikānksante parjanyam iva karsakāh/idam rājyam mahāprājna sthāpaya pratipadya hi, śaktimān asi kākutstha lokasya paripālane/ Just as a farmer keeps on waiting for the close of your vana vaasa, the kingdom's public, sena, friends, relatives should certainly be awaiting your return. So saying, Bharata collapsed and touched Ramas's 'paadukaas' the wooden foot wear. Rama lifed up and said: Bharata! You are by nature very modest but surely you possess the in-built in capability of administering the universe. Besides, you have the masterly ability of maneuvering and tactical treatment from the ministers and and wellwishers. As you realise, respected father's ought be preserved, even if Moon might lose its shine, Himalayas be bereft of ice, or oceans might transgress their boundaries. What mother Kaikeyi might have acted out of selfish interest in your own favour be not entered in your mind keep normalcy for what had happened. Then Bharata replied with great devotion: adhirohārya pādābhyām pāduke hemabhūsite, ete hi sarvalokasya yogaksemam vidhāsyatah/ so 'dhiruhya naravyāghrah pāduke hy avaruhya ca, prāyacchat sumahātejā bharatāya mahātmane/Arya! The pair of your 'paadukas' be kindly rested on me as a symbol of 'loka raksha' and universal peace and security! Then Shri Rama obliged accordingly. Then Bharata asserted: sa pāduke te bharatah pratāpavān; svalamkrte samparigrhya dharmavit, pradaksinam caiva cakāra rāahavam; cakāra caivottamanāgamūrdhani/ athānupūrvyāt pratipūjya tam janam; gurūms ca mantriprakṛtīs tathānujau, vyasarjayad rāghavavaṁśavardhanaḥ; sthitaḥ svadharme himavān ivācalah/ 'Raghu nandana!I swear by these Rama Padukas that for the next fourteen years wear jataa-cheeras and consume only roots nd fruits awiting your arrival outside Ayodhya and by retaining your padukas on a throne and carry on my Raja Dharmas.' Shri Rama was mightily pleased. He further stated that on his behalf as also from Sita, Bharata should safeguard Devi Kaikeyi and never get annoyed with her. Thereafter sa pāduke te bharatah pratāpavān; svalamkrte samparigṛhya dharmavit, pradakṣiṇam caiva cakāra rāghavam; cakāra caivottamanāgamūrdhani/ athānupūrvyāt pratipūjya tam janam; gurūms ca mantriprakrtīs tathānujau, vyasarjayad rāghavavamsavardhanah; sthitah svadharme himavān ivācalah/ Bharata then performed a parikrama around the 'padukas' and kept on his head as a king on an elephant head. Further, Shri Rama having thanked the public that arrived from the Kingdom, Gurus, Mantris and both Bharata and Shatrughnas. At that time Devis Koushalya and other mothers kept on crying away as Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas returned to their 'Kuteera'.

Sarga On Hundred and Thirteen

Bharata and the entourage reach back to Maharshi Bharadwaja's ashram and return to Ayodhya

Tataḥ śirasi kṛtvā tu pāduke bharatas tadā, āruroha ratham hṛṣṭaḥ śatrughnena samanvitaḥ/ vasiṣṭho vāmadevas ca jābālis ca drdhavratah, agratah prayayuh sarve mantrino mantrapūjitāh/ mandākinīm nadīm ramyām prānmukhās te yayus tadā, pradaksiņam ca kurvāņās citrakūṭam mahāgirim/ pasyan dhātusahasrāṇi ramyāṇi vividhāni ca, prayayau tasya pārśvena sasainyo bharatas tadā/ adūrāc citrakūṭasya dadarśa bharatas tadā, āśramam yatra sa munir bharadvājaḥ kṛtālayaḥ/ sa tam āśramam āgamva bharadvājasya buddhimān, avatīrya rathāt pādau vavande kulanandanaḥ/ tato hṛṣṭo bharadvājo bharatam vākyam abravīt, api kṛtyam kṛtam tāta rāmeṇa ca samāgatam/ evam uktas tu bharato bharadvājena dhīmatā, pratyuvāca bharadvājam bharato dharmavatsalah/ sa yācyamāno gurunā mayā ca dṛdhavikramah, rāghavah paramaprīto vasistham vākyam abravīt/ pituh pratijñām tām eva pālayisyāmi tattvatah, caturdaśa hi varsāni ya pratijñā pitur mama/ evam ukto mahāprājño vasisthah pratyuvāca ha, vākyajño vākyakuśalam rāghavam vacanam mahat/ ete prayaccha samhṛṣṭaḥ pāduke hemabhūsite, avodhvāvām mahāprājña vogaksemakare tava/ evam ukto vasisthena rāghavah prānmukhah sthitah, pāduke hemavikrte mama rājvāva te dadau/ nivrtto 'ham anujñāto rāmena sumahātmanā, ayodhyām eva gacchāmi grhītvā pāduke śubhe/ etac chrutvā śubham vākyam bharatasya mahātmanaḥ, bharadvājaḥ śubhataram munir vākyam udāharat/ naitac citram naravyāghra śīlavṛttavatām vara, yad āryam tvayi tisthet tu nimne vṛstim ivodakam/ amṛtah sa mahābāhuh pitā daśarathas tava, yasya tvam īdṛśah putro dharmātmā dharmavatsalah/ tam ṛsim tu mahātmānam uktavākyam kṛtāñjalih, āmantrayitum ārebhe caraṇāv upagṛhya ca/ tataḥ pradakṣiṇam kṛtvā bharadvājam punaḥ punaḥ, bharatas tu yayau śrīmān ayodhyām saha mantribhiḥ/ yānaiś ca śakaṭaiś caiva hayaiś nāgaiś ca sā camūḥ, punar nivṛttā vistīrṇā bharatasyānuyāyinī/ tatas te yamunām divyām nadīm tīrtvormimālinīm, dadṛśus tām punaḥ sarve gangām śivajalām nadīm/ tām ramyajalasampūrṇām samtīrya saha bāndhavah, śṛṅgaverapuram ramyam praviveśa sasainikah/ śṛṅgaverapurād bhūya ayodhyām samdadarśa ha, bharato duhkhasamtaptah sārathim cedam abravīt/ sārathe paśya vidhvastā ayodhyā na prakāśate, nirākārā nirānandā dīnā pratihatasvanā/

Carrying on his head the 'Shri Rama Paada Paadukaas' and seated on the chariot driven by Sumantra, Bharata along with Shatrughna proceeded back to Ayodhya, even as Maharshis Vasishtha, Vaama Deva, Jaabaali, and Minsters ahead and the entourage followed. The procession having circumambulated the Chirtakura mountain range and crossing the Sacred Mandakini River proceeded eastward. On the way was the Maharshi Bharadwaja ashram and Bharata stopped over, greeted the Maharshi who asked about his Shri Rama darsahana as Bharata replied that he requested Rama to return in several manners. But Vashishta Maharshi intervenened and said Rama was firm to follow Pitru vakyas and observe vana vaasa as prescribed. Ete prayaccha samhrstah pāduke hemabhūṣite, ayodhyāyām mahāprājña yogakṣemakare tava/ Yet Rama obliged Bharara by bestowing his 'swarna paadukas' as his representative so that Bharata could carry on administrative duties till his return back. .Bharadwaja Maharshi then blessed Bharata: naitac citram naravvāghra śīlavrttavatām vara, vad ārvam tvavi tisthet tu nimne vrstim ivodakam/ amṛtaḥ sa mahābāhuḥ pitā daśarathas tava, yasya tvam īdṛśaḥ putro dharmātmā dharmavatsalah/Bharata! You are an oustanding human being who is not only intrepid warrior but an exemplary 'sheela vritta vida' or of excellent tradition of 'sadaachaara'. Indeed it is not surprising that waterflows are well aware of their directions and you too are of features of great virtue as well. You are right within the footprints of your great father King Dasharatha who too was a dharma premi and dharmatma!' Then Bharata and all others thanked the Maharshi Bharadwaja and returned Ayodhya. Bharata then realised and adressed Sumantra as to in which pitiable state that Ayodhya was lying!

Sarga One Hundred and Fourteen

On return to Ayodhyam Bharata realises the sad state of the city of Ayodhdya

Snigdhagambhīraghosena syandanenopayān prabhuh, ayodhyām bharatah ksipram praviveśa mahāyaśāh/ bidālolūkacaritām ālīnanaravāranām, timirābhyāhatām kālīm aprakāśām niśām iva/ rāhuśatroh priyām patnīm śriyā prajvalitaprabhām, grahenābhyutthitenaikām rohinīm iva pīḍitām/ alpoşnakşubdhasalilām gharmottaptavihamgamām, līnamīnajhaşagrāhām kṛśām girinadīm iva/ vidhūmām iva hemābhām adhvarāgnisamutthitām, havirabhvuksitām paścāc chikhām vipralavam gatām/ vidhvastakavacām rugnagajavājirathadhvajām hatapravīrām āpannām camūm iva mahāhave/ saphenām sasvanām bhūtvā sāgarasya samutthitām praśāntamārutoddhūtām jalormim iva niḥsvanām/ tyaktām yajñāyudhaiḥ sarvair abhirūpaiś ca yājakaiḥ, sutyākāle vinirvṛtte vedim gataravām iva/ goṣṭhamadhye sthitām ārtām acarantīm navam tṛṇam, govṛṣeṇa parityaktām gavām patnīm ivotsukām/ prabhākarālaih susnigdhaih prajvaladbhir ivottamaih, viyuktām manibhir jātyair navām muktāvalīm iva/ sahasā calitām sthānān mahīm punyaksayād gatām, samhrtadyutivistārām tārām iva divas cyutām/a puspanaddhām vasantānte mattabhramaraśālinīm, drutadāvāgniviplustām klāntām vanalatām iva/ sammūdhanigamām sarvām samkşiptavipaṇāpaṇām, pracchannaśaśinakṣatrām dyām ivāmbudharair vṛtām/ kṣīṇapānottamair bhinnaih sarāvair abhisamyrtām, hatasaundām ivākāse pānabhūmim asamskrtām/ vrknabhūmitalām nimnām vrknapātraih samāvrtām, upavuktodakām bhagnām prapām nipatitām iva/ vipulām vitatām caiva yuktapāśām tarasvinām, bhūmau bāṇair viniṣkṛttām patitām jyām ivāyudhāt/ sahasā yuddhaśauṇḍena hayāroheṇa vāhitām, nikṣiptabhāṇḍām utsrṣṭām kiśorīm iva durbalām/ prāvṛṣi pravigāḍhāyām pravistasyābhra mandalam, pracchannām nīlajīmūtair bhāskarasya prabhām iva/ bharatas tu rathasthah sañ śrīmān daśarathātmajah, vāhayantam rathaśrestham sārathim vākyam abravīt/ kim nu khalv adya gambhīro mūrchito na niśamyate, yathāpuram ayodhyāyām gītavāditranihsvanah/ vārunīmadagandhāś ca mālyagandhaś ca mūrchitaḥ, dhūpitāgarugandhaś ca na pravāti samantataḥ/ yānapravaraghoṣaś ca snigdhaś ca hayaniḥsvanaḥ, pramattagajanādaś ca mahāmś ca rathaniḥsvanaḥ, nedānīm śrūyate puryām asyām rāme vivāsite/ taruṇaiś cāru veṣaiś ca narair unnatagāmibhiḥ, sampatadbhir ayodhyāyām na vibhānti mahāpathāh/ evam bahuvidham jalpan viveša vasatim pituh, tena hīnām narendrena simhahīnām guhām iva/

As Bharata entered Ayodhya, it was early evening when streets were empty, none was on the roads, all the doors were shut, and the night was of 'krishna paksha' with moon in the wane. The city was in mourning as neither veda ghoshanas by brahmanas, normal business in the markets, nor groups of public in the public gardens. Bharata asked Saarathi Sumantra: kim nu khalv adya gambhīro mūrchito na niśamyate, yathāpuram ayodhyāyām gītavāditraniḥsvanaḥ/ vārunīmadagandhāś ca mālyagandhaś ca mūrchitaḥ, dhūpitāgarugandhaś ca na pravāti samantataḥ/ yānapravaraghoṣaś ca snigdhaś ca hayaniḥsvanaḥ, pramattagajanādaś ca mahāmś ca rathaniḥsvanaḥ, nedānīm śrūyate puryām asyām rāme vivāsite/ How is it that there is neither music-nor dance heard or visible and how horrible is the situation now! There are no widespread flavors of scents, nor smells of sweet drinks, sounds of horse carriages, elephant and chariot rides? As Shri Rama left, the city has gone lonely, silent, lifeless and totally inactive. What is worse, the inhabitants are dull, vexed up, ever cursing the fate and with no desire and hope of recovery!

Sarga One Hundred and Fifteen

Bharata instals Shri Rama 'Paadukaas' at Nandigrama and administers Ayodhya from there

Tato nikṣipya mātīħ sa ayodhyāyām dṛḍhavrataḥ, bharataḥ śokasamtapto gurūn idam athābravīt/
nandigrāmam gamiṣyāmi sarvān āmantraye 'dya vaḥ, tatra duḥkham idam sarvam sahiṣye rāghavam
vinā/ gataś ca hi divam rājā vanasthaś ca gurur mama, rāmam pratīkṣe rājyāya sa hi rājā mahāyaśāḥ/
etac chrutvā śubham vākyam bharatasya mahātmanaḥ, abruvan mantriṇaḥ sarve vasiṣṭhaś ca purohitaḥ/
sadṛśam ślāghanīyam ca yad uktam bharata tvayā, vacanam bhrātṛvātsalyād anurūpam tavaiva tat/
nityam te bandhulubdhasya tiṣṭhato bhrātṛsauhṛde, āryamārgam prapannasya nānumanyeta kaḥ pumān/
mantriṇām vacanam śrutvā yathābhilaṣitam priyam, abravīt sārathim vākyam ratho me yujyatām iti/
prahṛṣṭavadanaḥ sarvā mātīħ samabhivādya saḥ, āruroha ratham śrīmāñ śatrughnena

samanvitaḥ/āruhya tu ratham śīghram śatrughnabharatāv ubhau, yayatuḥ paramaprītau vṛtau mantripurohitaiḥ/ agrato puravas tatra vasiṣṭha pramukhā dvijāḥ, prayayuḥ prāmukhāḥ sarve nandigrāmo yato 'bhavat/ balam ca tad anāhūtam gajāśvarathasamkulam, prayayau bharate yāte sarve ca puravāsinaḥ/ rathasthaḥ sa tu dharmātmā bharato bhrātṛvatsalaḥ, nandigrāmam yayau tūrṇam śirasy ādhāya pāduke/ tatas tu bharataḥ kṣipram nandigrāmam praviśya saḥ, avatīrya rathāt tūrṇam gurūn idam uvāca ha/ etad rājyam mama bhrātrā dattam samnyāsavat svayam, yogakṣemavahe ceme pāduke hemabhūṣite, tam imam pālayiṣyāmi rāghavāgamanam prati/ kṣipram samyojayitvā tu rāghavasya punaḥ svayam, caraṇau tau tu rāmasya drakṣyāmi sahapādukau/ tato nikṣiptabhāro 'ham rāghaveṇa samāgataḥ. nivedya gurave rājyam bhajiṣye guruvṛttitām/ rāghavāya ca samnyāsam dattveme varapāduke, rājyam cedam ayodhyām ca dhūtapāpo bhavāmi ca/ abhiṣikte tu kākutsthe prahṛṣṭamudite jane, prītir mama yaśaś caiva bhaved rājyāc caturguṇam/ evam tu vilapan dīno bharataḥ sa mahāyaśāḥ, nandigrāme 'karod rājyam duḥkhito mantribhiḥ saha/ sa valkalajaṭādhārī muniveṣadharaḥ prabhuḥ, nandigrāme 'vasad vīraḥ sasainyo bharatas tadā/ rāmāgamanam ākānkṣan bharato bhrātṛvatsalaḥ bhrātur vacanakārī ca pratijñāpāragas tadā/ pāduke tv abhiṣicyātha nandigrāme 'vasat tadā, bharataḥ śāsanam sarvam pādukābhyām nyavedayat/

Bharata then having left the mothers at Ayodhya sought the permission of the Gurus to proceed to Nandigraama as he stated that he was unable to stay and administer from Ayodhya with the unending memories of his father and in the absence of Shri Rama the genuine king of Ayodhya. Maharshi Vasishtha appreciated Bharat's decision: sadṛśam ślāghanīyam ca yad uktam bharata tvayā, vacanam bhrātṛvātsalyād anurūpam tavaiva tat/ nityam te bandhulubdhasya tiṣṭhato bhrātṛsauhṛde, āryamārgam prapannasya nānumanyeta kaḥ pumān/ Bharata! I am appreciative of your 'Bhraatru bhakti' the elder brother's devotion and that is truly reflective of your genuineness. All along the way your great concern for and demand on Rama to return was genuine but that was not to be and now your decisiveness to move out to Nandigrama to install Rama paadukas on a throne is laudable indeed'. Then Bharata having received the blessings of the mothers asked Sumantra to proceed to Nandigraama with theGurus ahead of him with the Rama Padukas on his hear along with Shatrughnaa. Even without his command, the sena and the significant citizens accompanied. On reaching Nandigrama, Bharata declared to the public as follows: etad rājyam mama bhrātrā dattam samnyāsavat svayam, yogakṣemavahe ceme pāduke hemabhūṣite, tam imam pālayişyāmi rāghavāgamanam prati/ 'My elder brother has asked me to preserve the Kingdom on his behalf and as such I am placing his golden footwear on the throne as his representarive for the time being for the welfare of you all.' Then Bharata addressed the ministers, senapati and the officials as follows: ksipram samyojayitvā tu rāghavasya punah svayam, caranau tau tu rāmasya draksyāmi sahapādukau/ tato niksiptabhāro 'ham rāghavena samāgatah. nivedya gurave rājyam bhajisye guruvrttitām/Having administered the kingdom accordingly till Rama's arrival, the same would be returned safely and rededicate the 'paadukaas' back at his feet and be relieved of the responsibility thenceforth. abhişikte tu kākutsthe prahrstamudite jane, prītir mama yaśaś caiva bhaved rājyāc caturgunam/ Only when Kaakutstha kubabhushana Shri Rama is once made the King of Ayodhya and the public were to be contented with unbelievable pleasure that I sould feel thrilled four times of over that my attaining kingship in purely shortest duration.

Stanza One Hundred Sixteen

All the Rishis of Chitra koota commenced leaving the place due to problems of Rakshasas

Pratiprayāte bharate vasan rāmas tapovane, lakṣayām āsa sodvegam athautsukyam tapasvinām/ ye tatra citrakūṭasya purastāt tāpasāśrame, rāmam āśritya niratās tān alakṣayad utsukān/ nayanair bhṛkuṭībhiś ca rāmam nirdiśya śaṅkitāḥ, anyonyam upajalpantaḥ śanaiś cakrur mithaḥ kathāḥ/ teṣām autsukyam ālakṣya rāmas tv ātmani śaṅkitaḥ, kṛtāñjalir uvācedam ṛṣim kulapatim tataḥ/ na kaccid bhagavan kim cit pūrvavṛttam idam mayi, dṛśyate vikṛtam yena vikriyante tapasvinaḥ/ pramādāc caritam kaccit kim cin nāvarajasya me, lakṣmaṇasyarṣibhir dṛṣṭam nānurūpam ivātmanaḥ/ kaccic chuśrūṣamāṇā vaḥ

śuśrūsanaparā mayi, pramadābhyucitām vrttim sītā yuktam na vartate/ atharsir jarayā vrddhas tapasā ca jarām gatah, vepamāna ivovāca rāmam bhūtadayāparam/ kutah kalyānasattvāyāh kalyānābhirates tathā, calanam tāta vaidehyās tapasviṣu viśeṣatah/ tvannimittam idam tāvat tāpasān prati vartate, rakṣobhyas tena samvignāh kathayanti mithah kathāh/ rāvanāvarajah kaś cit kharo nāmeha rākṣasaḥ, utpātya tāpasān sarvāñ janasthānaniketanān/ dhṛṣṭaś ca jitakāśī ca nṛśamsaḥ puruṣādakaḥ, avaliptaś ca pāpaś ca tvām ca tāta na mṛṣyate/ tvam yadā prabhṛti hy asminn āśrame tāta vartase, tadā prabhṛti rakṣāmsi viprakurvanti tāpasā/ darśayanti hi bībhatsaih krūrair bhīṣaṇakair api, nānā rūpair virūpaiś ca rūpair asukhadarśanaih/ apraśastair aśucibhih samprayojya ca tāpasān, pratighnanty aparān kṣipram anāryāḥ puratah sthitah/ tesu tesv āśramasthānesv abuddham avalīya ca, ramante tāpasāms tatra nāśayanto 'lpacetasah./ apaksipanti srugbhāndān agnīn siñcanti vārinā, kalaśāṁś ca pramṛdnanti havane samupasthite/ tair durātmabhir āvistān āśramān prajihāsavah, gamanāyānyadeśasya codayanty rsayo dya mām/ tat purā rāma śārīrām upahiṃsāṁ tapasvisu, darśayati hi dustās te tyaksyāma imam' āśramam/ bahumūlaphalam citram avidūrād ito vanam, purāṇāśramam evāham śrayisye sagaṇaḥ punaḥ/ kharas tvayy api cāyuktam purā tāta pravartate, sahāsmābhir ito gaccha yadi buddhiḥ pravartate/ sakalatrasva samdeho nitvam vat tasva rāghava, samarthasvāpi hi sato vāso duhkha ihādva te/ itv uktavantam rāmas tam rājaputras tapasvinam, na śaśākottarair vākyair avaroddhum samutsukam/ abhinandya samāpṛcchya samādhāya ca rāghavam, sa jagāmāśramam tyaktvā kulaiḥ kulapatiḥ saha/ rāmah samsādhya tv ṛsiganam anugamanād; deśāt tasmāccit kulapatim abhivādyarsim, samyakprītais tair anumata upadistārthah; punyam vāsāya svanilayam upasampede/āśramam tv rsivirahitam prabhuh; kṣaṇam api na jahau sa rāghavah, rāghavam hi satatam anugatās; tāpasāś carṣicaritadhṛtaguṇāh/

As various Maharshis and tapasvis settled at Chitrakoota commenced moving away from there, even after Ramas settled there, the latter doubted whether they were doing so because of the arrival of Bharata with sena, the public and the havoc thus created. Rama asked a senior of the tapasvis whether there was the havoc, or any indiscretion of him or Lakshmana or of Sita. He replied that this was not due to neither the havoc nor an indiscretion. But: rāvaṇāvarajaḥ kaś cit kharo nāmeha rākṣasaḥ, utpāṭya tāpasān sarvāñ janasthānaniketanān/ dhṛṣṭaś ca jitakāśī ca nṛśaṁsaḥ puruṣādakaḥ, avaliptaś ca pāpaś ca tvāṁ ca tāta na mrsvate/In these forest areas, Rayanasura's younger brother Khara and his evil associates are responsible for several evil, heinous, cruel deeds even of 'nara bhakshana'. darśayanti hi bībhatsaih krūrair bhīṣaṇakair api, nānā rūpair virūpaiś ca rūpair asukhadarśanaiḥ/ apraśastair aśucibhiḥ samprayojya ca tāpasān, pratighnanty aparān ksipram anāryāh puratah sthitah/These Rakshasas are creating mahem and devastation, and all cruel acts. They tend to harm the body parts of the tapasvis and regale the atrocities. apaksipanti srugbhāndān agnīn siñcanti vārinā, kalaśām's ca pramrdnanti havane samupasthite/They throw the ladles of ghee helter skelter, and destroy homa karvas and heckle 'mantra uchhaaranas' and so on. That is why the reaction to the cruel acts. Shri Rama, there is a much safer place not too far where there is stated as of ample availability of fruits and roots and free from disturbances. We shall request you to please accompany us so that Khara rakshasa's associates are not troubled and facilitate us wothout any harassment. Rama then immediately let the depating tapasyis travel safely without any hitch.

Sarga One Hundred Seventeen

<u>Sita Rama Lakshmanas too decided to leave Chitrakoota and proceeded to Maharashi Ashram of Atri and</u> Maha Pativrata Anasuya

Rāghavas tv apayāteṣu tapasviṣu vicintayan, na tatrārocayad vāsam kāraṇair bahubhis tadā/ iha me bharato dṛṣṭo mātaraś ca sanāgarāḥ, sā ca me smṛtir anveti tān nityam anuśocataḥ/skandhāvāraniveśena tena tasya mahātmanaḥ, hayahastikarīṣaiś ca upamardaḥ kṛto bhṛśam/ tasmād anyatra gacchāma iti samcintya rāghavaḥ, prātiṣṭhata sa vaidehyā lakṣmaṇena ca samgataḥ/ so 'trer āśramam āsādya tam vavande mahāyaśāḥ, tam cāpi bhagavān atriḥ putravat pratyapadyata/ svayam ātithyam ādiśya sarvam asya susatkṛtam, saumitrim ca mahābhāgām sītām ca samasāntvayat/ patnīm ca tam anuprāptām

vrddhām āmantrya satkrtām, sāntvayām āsa dharmajñah sarvabhūtahite ratah/ anasūyām mahābhāgām tāpasīm dharmacārinīm, pratigrhnīsva vaidehīm abravīd rsisattamah/ rāmāva cācacakse tām tāpasīm dharmacārinīm, daśa varṣāṇy anāvṛṣṭyā dagdhe loke nirantaram/ yayā mūlaphale sṛṣṭe jāhnavī ca pravartitā, ugreņa tapasā yuktā niyamais cāpy alamkrtā/ dasavarsasahasrāņi yayā taptam mahat tapah, anasūyāyratais tāta pratyūhāś ca nibarhitāh/ devakāryanimittam ca vayā samtyaramānayā/ daśarātram kṛtvā rātriḥ seyam māteva te 'nagha, tām imām sarvabhūtānām namaskāryām yaśasvinīm, abhigacchatu vaidehī vṛddhām akrodhanām sadā/ evam bruvāṇam tam ṛṣim tathety uktvā sa rāghavaḥ, sītām uvāca dharmajñām idam vacanam uttamam, rājaputri śrutam tv etan muner asva samīritam, śrevo 'rtham ātmanah śīghram abhigaccha tapasvinīm, anasūyeti yā loke karmabhih kyātim āgatā, tām śīghram abhigaccha tvam abhigamyām tapasvinīm/ sītā tv etad vacah śrutvā rāghavasya hitaisinī, tām atripatnīm dharmajñām abhicakrāma maithilī/ śithilām valitām vṛddhām jarāpānduramūrdhajām, satatam vepamānāngīm pravāte kadalī yathā/ tām tu sītā mahābhāgām anasūyām pativratām, abhyavādayad avyagrā svam nāma samudāhara/ abhivādya ca vaidehī tāpasīm tām aninditām, baddhāñjalipuṭā hṛṣṭā parvaprechad anāmayam/ tatah sītām mahābhāgām drstvā tām dharmacārinīm, sāntvayanty abravīd dhrstā distyā dharmam aveksase/ tyaktyā jñātijanam sīte mānam rddhim ca mānini, avaruddham vane rāmam distyā tvam anugacchasi/ nagarastho vanastho vā pāpo vā yadi vāsubhaḥ, yāsām strīṇām priyo bhartā tāsām lokā mahodayāh/ duḥśīlaḥ kāmavrtto vā dhanair vā parivarjitaḥ, strīṇām ārya svabhāvānām paramam daivatam patih/ nāto viśistam paśyāmi bāndhavam vimrśanty aham, sarvatra yogyam vaidehi tapah kṛtam ivāvyayam/ na tv evam avagacchanti guna dosam asat striyah, kāmavaktavyahrdayā bhartrnāthāś caranti yāh/ prāpnuvanty ayaśaś caiva dharmabhramśam ca maithili, akārya vaśam āpannāḥ striyo yāḥ khalu tad vidhāh/ tvadvidhās tu gunair yuktā dṛṣṭalokaparāvarāh, strivah svarge carisvanti vathā punvakrtas tathā

Having decided to leave Chitrakoota, Sita Rama Lakshmanas proceeded to Maharshi Atri-Maha Pativrata Anasuya's ashram. Maharshi Atri warmly welcomed them and he specially introduced Sita Devi to the illustrated Anasuya. Then Maharshi described the magnanimity and excellence of his wife and narrated an ancient situation when there was 'anaavrishti' or several years of rainlessness and the world was dry, cropless and total dryness. Then Devi Anasuya observed severe most tapasya on the banks of River Mandakinis feeble flows for innumerable years and the situation changed gradually, Rama! This outstanding Devi is therefore worthy of prostration, especially by Devi Sita. Then the Maharshi suggested a private meeting with each other. Anasuya was then extremely old and skinned up while her body shivered seriously. Devi Anasuya then addressed Devi Sita that she was happy as the latter had always followed the path of dharma. tyaktvā jñātijanam sīte mānam rddhim ca mānini, avaruddham vane rāmam distyā tvam anugacchasi/ nagarastho vanastho vā pāpo vā yadi vāśubhah, yāsām strīnām priyo bhartā tāsām lokā mahodayāh/Whether your husband lived in a city or a forest, in times of good or bad, a woman is worthy of following him with esteem. Only such progressive minded women attain higher lokas. duḥśīlaḥ kāmavṛtto vā dhanair vā parivarjitaḥ, strīṇām ārya svabhāvānām paramam daivatam patih/ nāto viśistam paśvāmi bāndhavam vimršanty aham, sarvatra vogyam vaidehi tapah krtam ivāvyayam/ na tv evam avagacchanti guna dosam asat strivah, kāmavaktavvahrdavā bhartrnāthāś caranti $y\bar{a}h$ /Whether a husband be of good conduct or not, be he rich or poor, whether he likes the wife or not, the husband is like a God! There could be no other closer relative than him but is the singular instrument to rach heavens after death. na tv evam avagacchanti guna dosam asat striyah, kāmavaktavyahrdayā bhartrnāthāś caranti yāh/ prāpnuvanty ayaśaś caiva dharmabhramśam ca maithili, akārya vaśam āpannāḥ striyo yāḥ khalu tad vidhāḥ/ A wife who seeks to rule over and control the husband would hardly realise her own weaknesses and thus is timid and a confirmed sinner. Such sinners invariably get entangled in the prison of their misdoings without salvation. Mithileshvari! Such branded women lose their way out the of the vicious circles and at the end regret but to no avail. Therefore, Devi Sita, follow the sati dharma always, hold ShriRamain the highest esteem all through your whole life. That is the singular path of fame and success, come what may!

Vishsleshana on Maha Parivrata Anasuya: Brahmashi Narada eulogised Pativrataseverally in his hymns and Devis Sarasavati-Lakshmi-Parvati sought to test her chastity and requested the Tri Murtis who approched Anasuya in the absence of husband Maharshi Atri. They as the 'atithis' asked Anasuua for bhojana but desired to serve it in nude state. Anasuya agreed but spalshed them with mantric waters and made them as todlers. The Tri Devis on knowing about this repented and requested the kids back to normalcy. One version of the incident shows that the Tri Murtis merged into the three headed Dattatreya. Markandeya Purana also describes the Maha Paativratya of Anasuya. Markadeya Purana states: The exmplary Parivratya of Devi Anasuya: There was a Brahmana named Kaushika who was a leper by virtue of his fate but he had Kaushiki as the 'Pativrata' devoted to her husband. She would perform all physical services to the husband of cleaning, washing and all other ablutions to this extent of removing body rejects and the blood oozing from his wounds. The disabled husband was short tempered and nagging but she considered him as her Deva and worshipped him, fulfilling each and every desire of his. Once he longed for an attractive prostitute in bed as he saw her in the morning and insisted for her by the night. The wife searched for her all over with a view to beg her to sleep with him despite his contageous disease; she would try to locate her some how, offer her lot of money and also try to convince her in the name of mercy! The wife carried the husband on her shoulders at the night time but unfortunately due to darkness, she tripped on the road side and his legs hit a Sage Mandya in deep meditation. The angry Sage gave a curse that whosoever disturbed his meditation would die before the Sun rise by the next morning. Having heard the curse of the Sage, the 'Pativrata' made the return 'Pratigya' (challenging vow) that Sun would not appear on the Sky and the night would never be terminated. All the Devas were frightened at the Challenge of the Pativrata and wondered what would happen to the entire Universe in the absence of Swadhyaaya, Vashatkaara, Swadha and Swaahaa viz. Sun God, as a result of this unfortunate development! In the absence of days and nights, there would not be months and Seasons, no 'Ayanaas' (Uttarayana and Dakshinaayana), no count of Years, and no concept of 'Kaala Gyana' or of Time. If there were no Sun Rise, there would not be 'Snaanaas' nor daily Rituals, no Yagnas, no offerings to Devas through Agni (Fire), no crops to generate food due to drought and thus Universal Balance would be shaken up. Devas prayed to Brahma who advised them to approach the 'Maha Pativrata' Devi Anasuya, the wife of Sage Atri and daughter of Kardama Muni. Anasuya advised Kaushiki about the enormous loss to the World as a result of her Pratigna. Women have the unique task of performing service to husbands while men have other duties like Rituals and that she was proud of Kaushiki as a Pativrata. Even Gods descended to request her and that itself was a proof of her achievement. But the most essential task at that hour would be to facilitate Sun to rise and hence should withdraw her Pratigya. Finally Anasuya declared: Yatha Bhatru Samamna anyamaham pashyami Devatam, thena satyaena viproyam punarjeevatvanamah. (If I had never known any Deity as important as my husband, then the Brahmana Kaushik would be reborn afresh devoid of any disease!). Thanks to Anasuya's intervention, the crisis was averted and the Devas blessed her that Brahma, Vishnu and Maheswara would be born with Rajasika Guna as Soma (Moon), Vishnu as Dattatreya with Satvika Guna and Siva as Durvasa with Tamasika Guna.

Sarga One hundred and Eighteen

Devis Anasuya and Sita exchange views- Anasuya gives gifts to Sita- Sita describes her 'swayamvara'

Sā tv evam uktā vaidehī anasūyan asūyayā, pratipūjya vaco mandam pravaktum upacakrame/ naitad āścaryam āryāyā yan mām tvam anubhāṣase, viditam tu mamāpy etad yathā nāryāḥ patir guruḥ/ yady apy eṣa bhaved bhartā mamārye vṛttavarjitaḥ, advaidham upavartavyas tathāpy eṣa mayā bhavet/ kim punar yo guṇaślāghyaḥ sānukrośo jitendriyaḥ sthirānurāgo dharmātmā mātṛvartī pitṛ priyaḥ/ yām vṛttim vartate rāmaḥ kausalyāyām mahābalaḥ, tām eva nṛpanārīṇām anyāsām api vartate/ sakṛd dṛṣṭāsv api strīṣu nṛpeṇa nṛpavatsalaḥ, mātṛvad vartate vīro mānam utsṛjya dharmavit/ āgacchantyāś ca vijanam vanam evam bhayāvaham, samāhitam hi me śvaśrvā hṛdaye yat sthitam mama/ prāṇipradānakāle ca yat purā tv agnisamnidhau, anuśiṣṭā jananyāsmi vākyam tad api me dhṛtam/ navīkṛtam tu tat sarvam vākyais te dharmacāriṇi, patiśuśrūṣaṇān nāryās tapo nānyad vidhīyate/ sāvitrī patiśuśrūṣām kṛtvā svarge

mahīyate, tathā vrttiś ca yātā tvam patiśuśrūsayā divam/ varisthā sarvanārīnām esā ca divi devatā, rohinī ca vinā candram muhūrtam api dṛśyate/ evamvidhāś ca pravarāḥ striyo bhartṛdṛḍhavratāḥ, devaloke mahīyante puņyena svena karmanā/ tato 'nasūyā samhṛṣṭā śrutvoktam sītayā vacah, śirasy āghrāya covāca maithilīm harşayanty uta/ niyamair vividhair āptam tapo hi mahad asti me, tat samśritya balam sīte chandaye tyām śucivrate/ upapannam ca yuktam ca yacanam taya maithili, prītā cāsmy ucitam kim te karavāṇi bravīhi me, kṛtam ity abravīt sītā tapobalasamanvitām/ sā tv evam uktā dharmajñā tayā prītatarābhavat, saphalam ca praharṣam te hanta sīte karomy aham/ idam divyam varam mālyam vastram ābharaṇāni ca, aṅgarāgaṁ ca vaidehi mahārham anulepanam/ mayā dattam idaṁ sīte tava gātrāņi śobhayet, anurūpam asamklistam nityam eva bhavişyati/ angarāgeņa divyena liptāngī janakātmaje, śobhayişyāmi bhartāram yathā śrīr viṣṇum avyayam/ sā vastram angarāgam ca bhūṣaṇāni srajas tathā, maithilī pratijagrāha prītidānam anuttamam/ pratigrhya ca tat sītā prītidānam yaśasvinī, ślistāñjaliputā dhīrā samupāsta tapodhanām/ tathā sītām upāsīnām anasūvā drdhavratā, vacanam prastum ärebhe kathām kām cid anupriyām/ svayamvare kila prāptā tvam anena yaśasvinā, rāghaveņeti me sīte kathā śrutim upāgatā/ tām kathām śrotum icchāmi vistareņa ca maithili, yathānubhūtam kārtsnyena tan me tyam yaktum arhasi/eyam uktā tu sā sītā tām tato dharmacārinīm, śrūyatām iti coktyā vai kathayām āsa tām kathām/ mithilādhipatir vīro janako nāma dharmavit, kṣatradharmaṇy abhirato nyāyataḥ śāsti medinīm/ tasya lāṅgalahastasya karṣataḥ kṣetramaṇḍalam, ahaṁ kilotthitā bhittvā jagatīm nṛpateḥ sutā/ sa mām dṛṣṭvā narapatir muṣṭivikṣepatatparaḥ, pāmśu guṇṭhita sarvāṅgīm vismito janako 'bhavat/ anapatyena ca snehād aṅkam āropya ca svayam, mameyaṁ tanayety uktvā sneho mayi nipātitah/ antarikşe ca vāg uktāpratimā mānuşī kila, evam etan narapate dharmeņa tanayā tava/ tatah prahṛṣṭo dharmātmā pitā me mithilādhipaḥ, avāpto vipulām rddhim mām avāpya narādhipaḥ/ dattvā cāsmīṣṭavad devyai jyeşthāyai punyakarmanā, tayā sambhāvitā cāsmi snigdhayā mātṛsauhṛdāt/ patisamyogasulabham vayo dṛṣṭvā tu me pitā, cintām abhyagamad dīno vittanāśād ivādhanaḥ/ sadṛśāc cāpakṛṣṭāc ca loke kanyāpitā janāt, pradharsanām avāpnoti śakrenāpi samo bhuvi/ tām dharsanām adūrasthām samdrśyātmani pārthivah, cinntārnavagatah pāram nāsasādāplavo yatha/ ayonijām hi mām jñātvā nādhyagacchat sa cintayan, sadrśam cānurūpam ca mahīpālah patim mama/ tasya buddhir iyam jātā cintayānasya samtatam, svayam varam tanūjāyāḥ kariṣyāmīti dhīmataḥ/ mahāyajñe tadā tasya varuṇena mahātmanā, dattam dhanurvaram prītyā tūṇī cākṣayya sāyakau/ asamcālyam manuṣyaiś ca yatnenāpi ca gauravāt, tan na śaktā namayitum svapnesv api narādhipāh/ tad dhanuḥ prāpya me pitrā vyāhṛtam satyavādinā, samavāye narendrāṇām pūrvam āmantrya pārthivān/ idam ca dhanur udyamya sajyam yaḥ kurute narah, tasya me duhitā bhāryā bhavisyati na samsayah/ tac ca drstvā dhanuhsrestham gauravād girisamnibham, abhivādya nrpā jagmur aśaktās tasya tolane/ sudīrghasya tu kālasya rāghavo 'yam mahādyutiḥ, viśvāmitreṇa sahito yajñam draṣṭum samāgataḥ/ lakṣmaṇena saha bhrātrā rāmaḥ satyaparākramah, viśvāmitras tu dharmātmā mama pitrā supūjitah/ provāca pitaram tatra rāghavo rāmalakṣmaṇau, sutau daśarathasyemau dhanurdarśanakānkṣiṇau, ity uktas tena vipreṇa tad dhanuḥ samupānayat/ nimeṣāntaramātreṇa tad ānamya sa vīryavān, jyām samāropya jhatiti pūrayām āsa vīryavān/ tena pūrayatā vegān madhye bhagnam dvidhā dhanuḥ, tasya śabdo 'bhavad bhīmaḥ patitasyāśaner iva/ tato 'ham tatra rāmāya pitrā satyābhisamdhinā, udyatā dātum udyamya jalabhājanam uttamam/ dīyamānām na tu tadā pratijagrāha rāghavaḥ, avijñāya pituś chandam ayodhyādhipateḥ prabhoḥ/tataḥ śvaśuram āmantrya vrddham daśaratham nrpam, mama pitrā aham dattā rāmāya viditātmane/ mama caivānujā sādhvī ūrmilā priyadarsanā, bhāryārthe laksmanasyāpi dattā pitrā mama svayam/ evam dattāsmi rāmāya tadā tasmin svayam vare, anuraktā ca dharmena patim vīryavatām varam/

Counselling Devi Sita further about the Pativratya Dharmas, Maha Pativrata Anasuya complemented the former that Sita herself was an outstanding woman; Sita apparently stressed a woman's teacher should be a husband essentially. She further said that even if husband were a pauper, or insignificant in the society, even then she would still be engaged in his service. Sita further asserted that happily her husband Rama being an outstanding being was also extremely kind, self controlled, and deeply attached to her as in his esteem like his own father or mother. Also, Rama treats his other mothers on par with his own too. Once Devi Kousalya took me to a lonely garden and taught me the basic precepts of a pativrata; and indeed

those principles are deeply imprinted in my heart. sāvitrī patiśuśrūṣām kṛtvā svarge mahīyate, tathā vṛttiś ca yātā tvam patiśuśrūṣayā divam/ variṣṭhā sarvanārīṇām eṣā ca divi devatā, rohiṇī ca vinā candram muhūrtam api dṛśyate/ evamvidhāś ca pravarāḥ striyo bhartṛdṛḍhavratāḥ, devaloke mahīyante puṇyena svena karmaṇā/ Sati Savitri who dedicated herself with her husband Satyavan as well as You Devi are truluy exemplary! Devi Rohini too would not suffer her husband Chandra Deva,s seperation even for a minute. Like wise other Pativrataas too dedicate themselves to their husbands and are hence honoured in the swarga loka.

Vishleshana on Savitri and Rohini Devi Pativrataas: 1. Sati Savitri: (Refer Sarga Thirty above.)

2: Devi Rohini: As Prajapati Daksha married off all his twenty seven daughters to Soma, the latter was ignoring all the daughters, excepting Devi Rohini. The 27 daughters married to Chandra are Krttika, Rohinī, Mrigasheersha, Aardra, Punarvasu, Purbabhadrapada, Pushya, Aslesha, Magha, Svaati, Chitra, Purvaphalguni, Hasta, Dhanishtha, Vishaakha, Anuraadha, Jyeshtha, Moola, Purvaashaadha, Uttaraashaadha, Shravana, Uttarphalguni, Shatabhisha, Uttarbhadrapada, Revati, Ashwini, Bharani. These 27 wives of Chandra are 27 Nakshatras (the constellations) which are on the moon's orbit. The rest of them complained to their father Daksha who reprimanded Soma to behave but Soma ignored the repeated warnings of Daksha. Out of exasperation, Daksha cursed Soma to gradually decline and finally disappear. In the absence of Soma, there were far reaching adverse effects in the Universe. Devas including Vanaspati felt Soma's absence and so did human beings, trees, animals and worst of all medicinal plants, herbs and so on. The Sky was dark and the Stars too lost the shine. Chandra prayed to Lord Shiva for long at Prabhasa Tirtha and since Daksha's cures was irreversible a compromise was made that during Krishna paksha Chandra would wane and wax during Shukla Paksha. However, this formula proved defective as Chandra was sinking in the Ocean causing natural sufferings by way of non availa bility of herbs and so on and at the request of Devas to Shiva again, Chandra left only with one of the 'Kala', the Lord gracefully wore the Crescent Moon on His 'jataajuta mastaka' for good, enabling Chandra to wane and wax every month eversince! As Devas approached Vishnu, He advised the solution of Churning the Ocean by both Devas and Danavas and latter too agreed to the proposal for the lure of securing 'Amrit'. In the process of churning, Moon was given birth again. This had brought great relief to Devas, human beings whose 'Ekadasha Indriyas' (Eleven Body parts), 'Pancha Bhutas' (Five Elements), Solah Kshetra Devatas, Trees and Medicines. Even Rudra's head was without Soma and so did water. Lord Brahma blessed Pournima thithi and selected the day for worship to Chandra Deva when fast is viewed propitious along with token amount of money and material as charity. That specific day 'Yava' Bhojan (Barley food) or barley made material is considered to blessed a person with Gyan (Knowledge), radiance, health, prosperity, foodgrains and salvation.]

Stanza13 continued: Maha Pativrata Anasuya then caressed Sita and stated: Sita! Why do you not ask me for a boon! Devi Sita was a taken aback and said that the counselling would be more useful than any boons! Anasuya was further appesiative of the reply and gave her a celestial necklace, valuable clothes, ornaments, and an 'Anga Raaga Anulepana' or a body lotion. Anasuya exclaimed that when she would approach Shri Rama with affection, she would be like Lakshmi to Maha Vishnu! Having thus accepted the gifts, Sita touched the feet of Anasuya and sat endearingly. Anasuya then cajoled and asked Sita carassingly: 'I learn that you married Rama in a 'swayamvara'; why don't you give me some details! Then Sita narrated: 'There was a King named Janaka a symbol of dharma, satya, and yagjna kaaryas. In a bhu yagjna, he tilled land for good progeny. And he hit a box underneath the tilled land and he found a female child full of earth and dust; as he was issueless other wise she adopted me as his daughter. At that very moment there was a voice from the high sky resounding 'Yes, King Janaka;! You indeed are the

Janaka of this baby! Then he handed me to his prime queen. As I grew up and came of marragiable age, Janaka started getting concerned that it was time to have the daughter wedded. Ayonijaam hi maam jnaatvaa naathyagacchhat sa chintayan, sadrusham chaabhirupam cha Mahipaalah patim mama/ Knowing well that I was not born to a human, the King was doubly worried. Then he got an idea to announce a 'swayam yara'. Maha yagine tadaa tasya Varunena mahaatmanaa, dattam dhanurvaram preetyaa tuuni chaakshusya saayakou/ Asanchaalyam manushyaischa yatnenaapi cha gouravaat, tatra shaktaa namayitum svapneshtvapi Naraadhipaah/ Coincidentally, in one Maha Yagjna, Varuna Deva bestowed a celestial dhanus with arrows of countlessness. Normally, that kind of a celestial 'dhanush baanaas' might not even move about, let alone lift it and much less aim at by even in dreams. Having described thereabout, King Janaka made an announcement among all the Kings of fame the world over. Several Kings of name, fame, and physical -mental grit had come and gone failing away. Sudeerdhasya tu kaalasya Ragavoyam mahaadyutih, Vishvaamitrena sahito yajnam drashtam samaagatahh/Lakshmanena saha bhraatraa Raamah satyaparaakramah, Vishvaamitrastu dharmaatmaa mam pitraa supujitah/Thereafter a very long gap of time, Maha Tjasvee Raghukula nandana Satya paraakrami Shri Rama accompanied by his younger brother Lakshmana was brought by Vishvamitra Maharshi to attend Janaka Yagjna to Mithila. King Janaka paid all respcts to the Maharshi and introduced Rama Lakshmanaas who desired to look at the Shiva dhanush gifted by Varuna Deva, while Janaka showed the dhanush. Then: Nimeshaantara maatrena tadaanamyaMaha balah, jyaam samaaroya jjatiti poorayaamaasa veeryavaan/ Tenaapurayitaa vegaammadhye bhagnam dvidhaa dhanuh, tasya shabdobhasvad bheemah poorayaa maasa veeryavaan/ Maha bala Shri Rama lifted the dhanush, sounded it and straightened it at ease. As he pulled the dhanush fast and firm, it was broken into two pieces. Then there was such roaring and earth shaking sound as though of the breaking of Indra Dhanush reverberating again and again. Thereafter, King Janaka requested and welcomed King Dasharatha to please consent for the auspicious wedding. On arrival at Videha Kingdom, father in law and mothers in law arrived and my Kanyadaana was performed with pomp and glory. Therafter my sister Urmila was wedded too with the consent of all concerned too. Devi Anasuya, this was how my swayamvara was concluded auspiciously!'

Sarga One Hundred and Nineteen

Thus Devi Sita having accepted the gifts from Devi Anasuya has reaches Shri Rama for overnight stay at Atri Maharshi Ashram for further journey

Anasūyā tu dharmajñā śrutvā tām mahatīm kathām, paryasvajata bāhubhyām śirasy āghrāya maithilīm/ vyaktāksarapadam citram bhāsitam madhuram tvayā, yathā svayamvaram vṛttam tat sarvam hi śrutam mayā/rame 'ham kathayā te tu drsdham madhurabhāsini, ravir astam gatah śrīmān upohya rajanīm śivām/ divasam prati kīrṇānām āhārārtham patatriṇām, samdhyākāle nilīnānām nidrārtham śrūyate dhvaniḥ/ ete cāpy abhiṣekārdrā munayaḥ phalaśodhanāḥ, sahitā upavartante salilāplutavalkalāḥ/ ṛṣīṇām agnihotresu hutesu vidhipurvakam, kapotāngāruno dhūmo drśvate pavanoddhatah/ alpaparnā hi taravo ghanībhūtāh samantatah, viprakrste 'pi ve deśe na prakāśanti vai diśah/ rajanī rasasattvāni pracaranti samantataḥ, tapovanamṛgā hy ete veditīrtheṣu śerate/ sampravṛttā niśā sīte nakṣatrasamalamkṛtā, jyotsnā prāvaranaś candro drśyate 'bhyudito 'mbare/ gamyatām anujānāmi rāmasyānucarī bhava, kathayantyā hi madhuram tvayāham paritositā/ alamkuru ca tāvat tvam pratyaksam mama maithili, prītim janaya me vatsa divyālamkāraśobhinī/ sā tadā samalamkṛtya sītā surasutopamā, pranamya śirasā tasyai rāmam tv abhimukhī yayau/ tathā tu bhūṣitām sītām dadarśa vadatām varaḥ,rāghavaḥ prītidānena tapasvinyā jaharṣa ca/ nyavedayat tataḥ sarvam sītā rāmāya maithilī, prītidānam tapasvinyā vasanābharaņasrajām/ prahrstas tv abhavad rāmo laksmanas ca mahārathah, maithilyāh satkriyām dṛṣṭvā mānuṣeṣu sudurlabhām/ tatas tām sarvarīm prītaḥ puṇyām śaśinibhānanaḥ, arcitas tāpasaiḥ siddhair uvāsa raghunandanah/ tasyām rātryām vyatītāyām abhisicya hutāgnikān, āprcchetām naravyāghrau tāpasān vanagocarān/ tāv ūcus te vanacarās tāpasā dharmacārinah, vanasya tasya samcāram rākṣasaiḥ samabhiplutam/ eṣa panthā maharṣīṇām phalāny āharatām vane, anena tu vanam

durgam gantum rāghava te kṣamam/ itīva taiḥ prāñjalibhis tapasvibhir; dvijaiḥ krtasvastyayanaḥ paramtapaḥ, vanam sabhāryaḥ praviveśa rāghavaḥ; salakṣmaṇaḥ sūrya ivābhramaṇḍalam/

Dharmajnaani Anasuya having heard about 'Sita Svayamvara' touched Sita's head affectionately replied the crisp and thought provoking narration: Madhura bhashini Sita! The Sun set time is nearing, the groups of busy birts are now returning back to their nests, Munis dressed up in 'valkalas' after bathings are returnig to their 'ashramas', Mahasrhi Atri has just concluded his evening agnihotra karyakrama too even as the smokes like the grey necks of doves are gradually flying up and up; the distant lines of high trees are visible with their branches and leaves hiding away the views of directions; even animals like deers are gradually falling on the grounds od the 'tapovanas'. Sita! The spell of darkness on earth ushers in the twinkling of Stars on the sky while the brightness of Moon provides an ideal cap of the well spread carpet. Dear daughter Mithileshvari Kumari! You may now leace me as it is time for you to serve Ramachandra as you have indeed expressed for me your sweet words and statements. Do please wear these pieces of jewellery and clothes for my satisfaction and enhancement of your body grace further to please Shri Rama.' So saying, Devi Anasuya bid farewell to Sita who like a Deva Kanya stepped forward to Shri Rama. Next morning, both Maharshi Atri and Pativrata shiromani Anasuya granted them leave as Sita Rama Lakshmanas prostrated to the famed Maharshi couple. Taavoochuste vanacharaastaapasaa dharmacharinah, vanasya tasya sanchaaram raakshasaih samabhiputam/Rakshaamsi purushudaadaani naanaa rupaani Raghava, vasantyasmin mahaaranye taan nivaaraya Raghava/ Taavoochuste vanacharaastaapasaa dharmacharinah, vanasya tasya sanchaaram raakshasaih samabhiputam/ Rakshaamsi purushudaadaani naanaa rupaani Raghava, vasantyasmin mahaaranye taan nivaaraya Raghava/ Then the Maharshi couple addressed Rama Lakshmanas: 'Raghu nandanaas! All the ways of these jungles are infested with Raakshasaas and we are always faced with some grave troubles and tribulations or the others. In these dense forests nara bhaksha rakshasas and human blood favorites are always encountered. Raghavendra! Do very kindly try to kill them or kick them out for the sake of peace and our dharmic duties of japa-homa- nirantara karya kramas!' Having thus requested the kshatriya veera kumaras, the Maharshi couple bid farewell to continue on to the Aranya Khanda of Ramaayana!

.....

Om Shri Ramo Ramachandrascha Rama Bhadrascha Shashwatah/ Rajivalochanah Shriman Rajendro Raghupungavah// Janakivallabho Jaitro Jitamitro Janaardanah/ Vishwamitra Priyo Daantah Sharanaagatatatparah// Baali pramathano Vaagmi Satyavak Satya Vikramah/ Satyavrato Vrataphalah Sadaa Hanumadaashraya// Kausaleya Kharadhwamsi Viraadha vadha Panditah/ Vibhishana paritraataa Dashagriva shiroharah//Saptataala prabhetaacha Harakodandakhandanah/ Jamadagnya Mahadarpa dalanastaada –kantakrit// Vedantaparo Vedaatmaa Bhavabandhaika bheshajah/ Dushana Trishirorischa Trimurtirstrigunastraayi// Trivikramastrilokatmaa Punya chaaritra kirtanah/Triloka rakshako Dhanvi Dandakaaranyavaasa krit// Ahalyaa paavanaschaiva Pitru Bhato Varapradah/ Jitendriyo Jitakrodho Jitilaabho Jagat Guruh//Ruksha Vaanara Sanghaati Chitrakuta Samaashrayah/ Jayantatraana varadah Sumitra Putra Sevitah// Sarva Devaadhi Devascha Mrita Vaanarajeevanah/ Mayaa Maaricha hanta cha Maha Bhaho Maha Bhujah// Sarva deva stutah Soumyo Brahmanyo Munisattamah/ Maha Yogi Mahodaarah Sugriva Sthitar Raajatah// Sampurnadhika phalah Smruta Sarvaaghanaashanah/ Adi Purusho Maha Purushah Paramah Purushastatha//Punyadayo Mahasarah Purana Purushotthamah/ Smita Vaktro Mitabhaashi Purvabhaashi cha Raghavah// Anantaguna gambhiro Dhirodatta gunottarah/

Mayamanusha chaaritro Maha Devaabhi pujitah// Setu krujjita vaarishah Sarva Tirthamayo Harih/ Shyamaanga Sundarah Shurah Peetavaasaa Dhanurdharah// Sarva Yagnaadhipo Yagno Jaraamarana varjitah/ Shivalinga Pratishthaata Sarvaagha ganavarjitah//Paramaatma Param Brahma Sacchhidaananda vigrahah/ Param Jyotih Param Dhama Paraakaashah Paraatparh// Pareshaha Paaragah Paarah Sarvabhutaatmakah Shivah/ Iti Shri Rama chandrashya Naamaamashtotthatam Shatam/ Guhya Guhyantaram Devi tava snehat prakeertitam// Ramaya Ramabhadraya Ramachandraya Vedhasey Raghunathaaya nathaaya Sitaayah Pataye Namah/ (Padma Purana-Uttara Khanda)

ESSENCE OF ARANYA KHANDA

INRODUCTION

As Brahma Maanasa Putras of Sanaka-Sanandana-Sanaatana-Sanat Kumaras were interrupted by Vaikuntha Dwaara Palakaas of Jaya Vijayas, the Kumaras cursed to be born in ten sucessive births of Evil Energies of the Time Cycle. Hence Maha Vishnu was necessitated to assume Ten 'Avataaraas' to vindicate Dharma and Nyaaya again and again. An 'Avatara' (Incarnation) is like the lighting of a lamp from another lamp; like-wise, Bhagavan is a manifestation suited to specific purpose and end-use. Among such Avatars of Vishnu, the first well-known manifestation of Matsyathe Fish which retrieved the Sacred Vedas stolen from Brahma by Makarasura. The temptation to Danavas to obtain 'Amrit', 'Samudra Mathana'was set as Manthara Mountain as the churning rod, Maha Sarpa Vasuki was the string with which to tie up the Mountain and Bhagavan himself as balancing Shakti as the Avatar of Kurma to ensure that the Meru Mountain would be made stable and steady. As Hiranyaakasha, the mighty son of Devi Diti pulled up Bhu Devi and dragged her into the depths of the Ocean down to the 'atholokas', Lord Vishnu assumed the incarnation of Maha <u>Varaha</u> and killed himas Devi Prithvi heaved a great sigh of relief. Hiranyakashipu got on to his wits' end, when his own son Prahlada was forced to show that Narayana any where, say in a Pillar, he broke it with his mace and there emerged the fierce Man-Lion, Narasimha, who had half-body as a giant Lion roaring and killed the demon. Bhagavan agreed to be born to Aditi and Kashyapa as Vamanathe foremost human as dwaf; grew up as a Brahmachari, learnt Vedas, sporting 'Mriga Charma', Danda and wooden footwear appeared at the Yagna by daanava Bali Chakravarti and asked for a charity of three feet of land. Vamana then assumed a sky body and measured one foot as Earth, Samudras, Parvatas; second foot as Sky, Nakshtras, Planets, Deva-Brahmaaadi lokas. Even as the second foot still fell short of the required size, Vaamana had to push Bali's head down to 'Rasatala'. As Manu prayed to Vishnu as his son, the Lord agreed for Preservation of Dharma and affirmed: Paritranaaya Sadhunaam Vinaasaaya cha Dushkrutaam, Dharma samsthaapanaarthaaya sambhavaami yuge yugey! (I shall no doubt take human birth to revive Dharma and punish Evil from time to time). As promised by Vishnu, Swayambhu was born as King Dasaratha and gaveShri Rama in Treta Yuga. Being a human, Rama was subject to the weaknesses of kama-krodha-mohas but being an ideal most specimen of humanity he was prone to cryings and wailings, bursts of anger and anguish, high possessiveness and frustrastion, passion and compassion. But, all rolled in yet covered by supreme and unique qualities of idealism, virtue and justice, devotion and veneration overshadowed by the single motivation of 'Pitru Vaakya Paripalana'. All these traits were at display in the current series of Essence of Vaaklmiki Ramayana, especially in the instant Aranya Ramaayana, since the Baala and Ayodhya series had since seen attempted.

As I approached with humility with a request to translate Ramayana, HH Vijayendra Saraswati of 'Kanchi Peetha' had spontaneously instructed: 'Try Vaalmiki Ramayana, but with vishleshanas'. It is that command which has generated ready inspiration and determination, quite apart from the innate power of the directive itself. For over a decade and half He has inspired me to take to translations of the essence of Ashtaadasha Puranas, Ashtaadasha Upanishads, Dharma Sindhu, Brahma Sutras, Manu Smriti, Soundarya Lahari, Bhagavad Gita, and scripts on Lakshmi-Sarasvati- Gayatri- Surya-Chandras etc. My earnest prostrations to Him by the self and family with all humility, faith and dedication.

VDN Rao and family

Contents

Introduction

Retrospectives of Baala Kanda and Ayodhya Kanda

Sarga One: Shri Rama - Devi Sita-Lakshmanas felicitated in 'Muni ashramas'

[Vishleshana on Bali Vaishva Deva from 'Dharma Sindhu']

Sarga Two: As Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas proceeded into the thick forest, they encounterd Rakshasa Viraatha

Sarga Three: Exchange of hot words by Rama Lakshmanas with Rakshasa Viraatha Sarga Four: Rama Lakshmanas kill Rakshasa Viraatha Sarga Five: Shri Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas visit Sharabhanga Muni's ashrama and after 'atithya' the Muni departs for Brahma Loka

Sarga Six: <u>Vaanaprastha Munis approach Shri Rama for safety from Rakshasaas and Rama Lakshmanas assure and pacify them</u>

Sarga Seven: Shri Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas reach the ashram of Muni Suteekshna who offers
'atithya' overnight
Sarga Eight: Next early morning Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas exit Suteekshna
ashramSarga Nine: Gatheringa of innocent commoners and Munis seek protection from frequent
attacks by Rakshasaas and Devi Sita enumerates the tenets of dharma

Sarga Ten: Rama Lakshmanas assure and make 'pratiginas' of Kshatriya kula duty to safeguard the tenets of Dharma

Sarga Eleven: Rama Sita Lakshmanas visit Panchapsara Tirtha and Maandikarana ashrama and after visiting other Muni Ashramas too, visit the ashram of the brother of Agastya Maharshi who lauds the glory of Agastya

<u>Vishleshanas on a) Creation of Agasthya and Vasishtha as brothers by MitraVaruna from Urvashi and b)Agastya Muni dries up the Ocean and enables to destroy the demon Kalakeya- Matsya-Padma Puranas respectively</u>

Sarga Twelve: Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas visit Agastya Maharshi and after welcoming them, Agastya gifts 'diyvaastras'

Sarga Thirteen: Maharshi Agastya complements Devi Sita as a 'pativrata' and directs Rama Lakshmanas to construct Panchavati Ashram Vishleshana on Devi Arundhati

Sarga Fourteen: On the way to Panchavati, Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas meet the Great Grudhra Raja Jatayu who vividly explains the family background of Jatayu [Vishleshana on Daksha Prajapati and Kashyapa from Puranas]

Sarga Fifteen: The compact and vastu based 'Panchavati Parnashaala' of Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas reside comfortably
Vishleshana on Vaastu Shaanti

Sarga Sixteen: <u>Happy living by Rama Sita Lakshmanas at Panchavati through Hemanta</u> Ritu and Godavari Snaanaas

[Vishleshana on a) Rithus / Seasons; abd b) on the Sacred River Godavari and the excellence of bathings in the River

Sarga Seventeen: <u>Rakshasi Shurpanakha arrives at Panchavati, introduces, proposes</u> to Rama to wed as his wife

Sarga Eighteen: Shurpanakha compromises to wed Lakshmana as he was single there

but the latter cuts off her ears and nose

Sarga Nineteen: Khara incensed the treatment to sister and despatches fourteen rakshasaas to kill Rama Lakshmanas

Sarga Twenty: Shri Rama devastates fourteen followers of Khara

Sarga Twenty One: Shurpanakha reaches brother Khara, conveys Rama's killing fourteen rakshasas, provokes Khara to seek revenge

Sarga Twenty Two: Khara Dushana Rakshasaas along with fourteen thoushand sena attack Panchavati of Ramas

Sarga Twenty three: Khara then noticed dusshakunas like donkey brayings and squeaks of vultures from the sky, but having ignored these, Khara reaches Shri Rama 'ashrama' [Vishlashana on premonitions of death in general terms to humans sourced from Markandeya Purana]

Sarga Twenty Four: As the dusshakunas loomed large, Rama hopes for the doom of Rakshasaas and victory for himself- as a precaution, he asked Lakshmana to hide Devi Sita in a cave and got readied for the battle

Sarga Twenty Five: Rakshasaas attack Sri Rama, deva gandharva rishis apprehensive,

but the invinvible Shri Rama devastates thousands of rakshasaas single handed

Sarga Twenty Six: Senapati Dushana and thousands of rakshasaas devastated by singular Shri Rama

Sarga Twenty Seven: Trishira, Khara Maha Rakshas's Senapati exterminated

Sarga Twenty Eight: Fierce battle between Shri Rama and Khara Rakshasa by the usage of their expertise in dhanur vidya

Sarga Twenty Nine: Exchange of heated arguments between Shri Rama and Khara Rakshas whose mace attack defended by Rama

Sarga Thirty: Shri Rama the action hero hits Khara Rakshasa to death and affirms victory celebrated by Celestials and Rishis

Sarga Thirty One: Akampana Rakshasa reaches Ravanasura to Lanka and poisons the latter's mind hatch a vicious plot to lure Devi Sita by a deer impersonted by Mareecha Reference: Essence of Vaalmiki Baala Khanda about Maricha Subahu rakshasa brothers]-

SargaThirty Two: Shurepanakha hurt physically with mutilated ears and nose arrives grievously at Maha Ravana Sabha:

Sarga Thirty Three: Highly alarmed and frustrated Shurpanakha incites and ignites her brother Ravanasura

Sarga Thirty Four: Ravana was inquisitive from Shupanakha about details of Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas as the latter asks Sita to be abducted and wedded to Sita Sarga Thirty Five: Ravanasura once again approaches Mareecha once again to seek the latter's help.

Sarga Thirty Six: Ravanaasura once again seeks the help of Mareecha to kidnap Devi Sita Sarga Thirty Seven: 'The self shaken up Mareecha appeals to Ravana to very kindly withdraw the plan in view of Rama's extraordinary mental acumen and physical energy Sarga Thirty Eight: Maareecha explains his erstwhile experience of Vayavyastra and requests Ravana to pardon him

Sarga Thirty Nine: <u>Maarecha seeks to further convince Ravanaasura as Mareecha enterered having assumed the form of a Maya Harina or a feigned deer</u>

[<u>Vishleshanaas as per Essence of Valmiki Bala Ramayana vide Sargas Twenty Nine and Seventy</u> respectively on Bali Chakravarti and Nahusha respectively

Sarga Forty: Ravanasura resents Mareecha's argumentative pattern and commands

Mareecha to get involved in the mission of 'Sitaapaharana' while detailing the plan of abduction

Sarga Forty One: Maareecha issues ultimate warning to the doom of Ravana and disaster of Lanka Kingdom

Sarga Forty Two: Rakshasa Maareecha forced by Ravanaasura to assume the deer form of glitter and attract Sita's attention

Sarga Forty Three: Even as Lakshmana doubted about the Maya Mriga, Sita was bent to secure it alive or dead and Rama had to yield to her intense wish proceeded with the chase, while entrusting responsibility to Lakshmana. chase.

Sarga Forty Four: Shri Rama kills Mareecha, no doubt, but the latter shouts for help in Rama's tone causing gitters to Sita

Stanza Forty Five: As expected, Lakshmana was taken aback by Sita's insinuations against him who was pressurised to reach Shri Rama

Sarga Forty Six: Ravanaasura approaches Devi Sita under Sadhu's garb, familiarises and mesmorises her

Sarga Forty Seven: Devi Sita introduces herself as the daughter of King Janaka and the husband of the valiant Shri Rama and the cause of their arrival; Ravana proposes to Devi Sita as a co-wife and the latter reacts haughtily

Sarga Forty Eighty: Ravanasura explains his own background and valor and Devi Sita ignores and discounts

[Vishleshana on Shachi Devi and Indra]

Sarga Forty Nine: Ravanasura forcibly abducts Devi Sita who cries away helplessly but Maha Jataayu grudhra tries to intervene and seeks to help

Sarga Fifty: <u>Jataayu warns Ravanasura to withdraw from the evil act of 'Sitaapaharana' and otherwise be ready for encounter</u>

Sarga Fifty One: Fierce battle between Jataayu and Ravanasura but Ravana kills Jatayu

Sarga Fifty Two: Thus Ravanasura finally concludes 'Sitaapaharana' as Devi Sita was kept under vigilant custody

Sarga Fifty Three: Rattled and shocked Devi Sita shouts being highly critical of Ravana and his heinous actions

Sarga Fifty Four: As Devi Sita sought to drop down her jewellery and dress to notify

Rama Lakshmanas, Ravana kept vigil by five monkeys, and at Lanka in antahpura by eight rakshasis.

Sarga Fifty Five: Ravanasura takes Devi Sita to his antahpura and seeks to pressurise her to become his queen

Sarga Fifty Six: <u>Having suffered Ravana's entreaties</u>, <u>Sita intensified her thoughts</u> on Shri Rama and praised him while angry Ravana instructed rakshasis to take Sita away to Ashoka

<u>Vatika and frieghten her to surrender</u> **Sarga Fifty Seven:** <u>Shri Rama having killed Maareecha returns while noticing bad</u>
omens gets concerned about Devi Sita

Sarga Fifty Eight: On a run back to the Ashram, Rama Lakshmanas were subject to innumerable kinds of doubts and reaching there were not able to see Devi Sita and got stunned and terrified

Sarga Fifty Nine: Rama Lakshmans recalled the events before the latter left for Rama at the false shouts of the dying Maareesha and Rama was truly upset by Lakshmana's grave indescretion Sarga Sixty: Shri Rama's deep distress at Devi Sita's disappearance- desperate search for her even addressing animals and vegetation around the ashram in frustration.

Sarga Sixty One: Shri Rama and Lakshmanas got intensely frustrated with their extensive search for Devi Sita

[Vishleshana on Vamana Deva and Bali Charavarti for ready reference vide Essence of Valmiki Baala Ramayan]

Sarga Sixty Two: Rama's anguish - his sustained efforts with Lakshmna- following Maya Mriga's southern direction- recognising fallen Sitas's dried up flowers and ornaments- and signs of a recently fought battle!

Vishleshana on Tripuraasura Vijaya from i) Linga Purana-ii) Ganesha Purana

Sargas Sixty Three and Sixty Four: <u>Lakshmana seeks to cool down the unbelievable</u> rage and anger and recounts the fundamenatal features of self restraint while getting ready to display his <u>outstanding bravery in human like and Gods like battle!</u>

- 1.[Ref Essence of Valmiki Ayodhya Ramayana-Sarga Twelve on Yayati-Yadu-Puru]
- 2. Vishleshana vide Bhagavad Gita is quoted in this context

Sarga Sixty Five: Rama Lakshmanas witnessed the grievously hurt Maha Grudhra Jataayu who fought for Devi Sita being kidnapped Mahaasura Ravana the Lankeshwara

Sarga Sixty Six: Shri Rama performs the 'dahana samskaara' of Jatayu [Vishleshana on Dahana samskara for human beings is explained vide Sarga 76 of Essence of Valmiki Ayodhya Ramayana.]

Sarga Sixty Seven: Nasty encounter with Athomukha and blind Rakshasi Kabandha who caught Rama Lakshmanas by its long and surrounding arms within a huge embrace seeking to eat their flesh

Sarga Sixty Eight: By the enormous force of their sheer grit and decisiveness and of mutual consultations, Rama Lakshmanas severed both the mighty shoulders of Kabandha Sarga Sixty Nine: Tormented by Sthula Rishi, Karbandha got 'vikrita rupa' but he performed tapsya to Brahma for deerghaayu, attacked Indra and vajraayudha's hit raised his stomach over body, now relieved by Rama Lakshmanas.

Sarga Seventy: <u>As Kabandha Rakshas's mortal remains secured 'daah samskara' by Rama Lakshmanas, his celestial form reveals details of Ravana vs Sita and advises Rama's friendship with the exiled Vaanara King Sugriva</u>

[Vishleshana on Neeti Chandrika in Telugu language as transated into English as the Essence of Neeti Chandrika vide the website of kamakoti.org . - [Brief Vishleshana of Vaali-Sugrivas

Sarga Seventy One: <u>Kabandha in his celestial form showed the way to reach</u> <u>Rishyamooka Parvata and Pampa Sarovara, as also of Matanga Muni Ashrama</u>

Sarga Seventy Three: Rama Lakshmanas proceed towards Matanga Vana and meet Tapasvini Shabari awaiting Shri Rama Lakshmanas all along her life with indefinable devotion. [Vishleshana on Yogini Shabari]

Sarga Seventy Four: <u>Having witnessed the glorious departure of Maha Yogini</u> to Bliss, Rama Lakshmanas proceeded along with Pampasarovara in their 'Sitaanveshana'towards <u>Gandhamanana Mountain and meet Sugriva</u>

ESSENCE OF VALMIKI ARANYA RAMAYANA

Introduction:

Brahmarshi Narada taught Brahmana Vidyaarthi Pracheta the 'two golden principles of not preaching what he himself would not practise and take to the name and thought of Rama till his death'. The boy learnt the Mantra 'Mara' or to Kill- kill 'ahamkara', 'shadvarga shatrus' of excessive desires, anger, selfishness and avarice, infatuation, ego and jealousy. Constant repetition of 'Mara' turned as 'Rama' gradually developed 'valmikaas' or anthills till his 'atma saakshaatkaara' or Self Realisation and eventually came to be reputed as Valmiki Maharshi. Once when he was bathing in the clear waters of Ganges he sighted two doves while mating but were shot to death by a hunter and the Maharshi cried :maa nishaada pratishthaa tvamagamah shasshvatih samaah, yat krouncha mithunaa -dekam avadheeh kaama mohitam/ Nishaada! There could never be rest for long years till eternity, for you killed the mating birds unsuspectingly! This is the 'prerepana' or the inspiration of the illustrious scripting of Valmiki Ramayana! Maharshi Valmiki asked Brahmarshi Narada: Konyasmin saampratam loke gunavaan kascha veeryayaan, dharmaginascha kritaginascha veeryayaan,dharmaginascha kritaginascha Satyayaakyo dhridhavtatah' as to who indeed was the Guna- Veerya-Dharmagina- Kritagina- Satya Vaadi- Dhridha Sankalpa or of the superior traited- brave- virtuous-ever grateful - truthful and decisive on Earth during the Treta Yuga! Ramayana is relevant now as much as in the past -present and for ever as narrated in Six Khandas or sugar cane stems viz. Baala Khanda-Ayodhya Khanda- Aranya Khanda-Kishkinda Khanda-Sundara Khanda-Yuddha Khanda. Baala Khanda comprises seventy seven Sargas- Ayodhya Khanda one hundred nineteen Sargas-Aranya Khanda has seventy three Sargas-Kishkindha Khanda has sixty seven Sargas-Sundara Khanda comprises of sixty eight Sargas-Yuddha Khanda has one twenty eight Sargas. Addtionally Uttara Khanda has one hundred eleven Sargas. The current presentation is relevant to Aranya Khanda- the third Piece of the Sugar Cane.

Restrospecive:

Baala Khanda

The overview of Ramayana by Maharshi in his trance- Valmiki Ramayana of 24000 stanzas was sung by Lava- Kusha kumars of 'Shri Rama -Devi Sita' at a Conference of Muni Mandali before Shri Rama-From the Vaivaswa Manvantara to the Ikshvaku Vamsha at Ayodhya till King Dasharatha to Shri Rama-King Dasharatha-Vasishtha- Ministers plan to perform Ashvamedha Yagna and despatch Sumantra the Charioteer request to request Maharshi Rishyashringa- Historic Arrival of Rishyashringa heralding the season to rains- There after Vasishthas gave to the King 'yagjna diksha'- removed evil influences - made arrangements of the yagjna like architecture, construction and maintenance; groups of jyotishadi vedangas; workforce; nata- naatya -nartaka groups,cooking, culinary,construction of colonies, conference Halls etc. Ashvamedha Yagna executed gloriously- Putra Kaamekshi Yagjna- Celestials preparing for arrival of Maha Purusha-Devas and Indra approached Vishnu to desrtoy Ravasnasura as Vishnu said only in human form Rama, Dasharatha's son could to so. At the Yagjna, a Maha Purusha emerged from the flames and handed over a 'payasa patra' to Dasharatha to distribute to his three queens as instructed. As Rama-Lakshmana-Bharata-Shatrugnas were born thus, Indra and Devas manifested

'Vaanaraas' including Hanuman with Ashta Siddhis. Dasharatha distributes 'payasa' to queens Koushalya-Sumitra- Kaikeyi -Samskararas to Ramaadi Kumaras; Arrival of Brahmarshi Vishvamitra at Ayodhya to King Dasharatha. Vasishtha assured Dasharatha about Shri Rama's safety in safeguarding the Vishvamitra Yagina as the satisfied King allowed Rama Lakshmanas and teach Bala-Atibala. The trio reached Angamuni Ashram-Sarayu-Ganga confluence at Malada- Kurusha Villages where Indra hid-the reason was that Indra killed brahmana Vritraasura.-They enter 'Tataka Vana'-Rama Lakshmanas encounter Tataka and Vishmamitra prevails on stree hatya-Vishvamitra teaches most of archery mantras to Rama Lakshmanas-Vishvamitra takes Rama brothers to the 'Vamana Ashrama'-Yagjnas spoilt in other ashramas by Maricha Subahus punished by Rama-'Ashramavashis' conveyed about Janaka's Yagjna and Shiva Dhanush- Vishvamitra seeks take heros to Siddhashrama by difficult terrain and explains about adjacent Kusha Desha, King Kushanabha, Apsara daughters and Vayu Deva-By boat from Shonabhadra to Ganges, Vishvamitra explains about flows of Ganges - birth of Skanda- King Sagara's tapasya for sons- queen Sumati begets 60,000 strong sons while Keshini just only Asamanjasa. Sagara planned Ashvamesha yagna, Indra stole the Sacrificial horse- Sumati's strong sons searched bhuloka-and patalas with pomp and noise-Kapila Muni curses the sons in patala to become stones-Asamaniasa goes in search and conveys the result to Sagara who dies- King Asamanjasa gaveup hopes and so does his son Amshuman and the latter's son Dilip. But Bhagiradha takes up the thread and prays to Ganga from skies at Gokarna Tirtha. Bhagiratha standing by foot fingers, invoked Maha Deva-Crossing Ganga, Rama approaching Vaishali asked about Deva Danavas-Having failed to secure Amrit, Diti- daitya motherseeks to destroy Indra- Diti fell asleep unsconcsiously, Indra entered her Garbha with his 'Vajraayudha', saw the fully grown up boy inside ,cajoled him saying 'don't cry, don't cry' and sliced the child into seven parts and further to forty nine sub-parts-Vishvamitra stated that they were at that very place where above instances had occured when there was an Ikshvaaku Kings Kakutstha- Sumati and then proceed to Mithila the kingdom of Janaka Raja!Sumati showed the way to Gautama Ashram en route Mithila.-Entering King Janaka's Yagnyashaala, Vishvamitra introduces Rama Lalshmanas and their acts of glory so far to King Janaka and his Purohita 'Shataananda'-Having congratulated Rama Lakshmanas, Shatananda makes a detialed coverage on the lifestory of Vishvamitra who as a Kshatriya King through tapsyas became a Brahmarshi!King Vishvamitra sighted Shabali Kamadhenu and demands it but was refused; in a battle Shabala smashed thee army but the latter took to severe tapasya. Brahma blesses Vishvavmitra be the status of Maharshi-Trishanku desires to reach swarga being mortal and Vishvamitra creates a mid- sky swarga with his tapo bala; -Ambarisha performs Yagjna at Pushkara but as sacrifice animal was stolen, a 'nara pashu boy' was arranged - Vishvamitra took pity but to no avail; got entangled instead by co-Munis.-Vishvamitra disturbed by 'Menaka' at Pushkara, then shifted to heights of himalayas when 'Rambha' disturbed too-Ultimatelyeven as Indra ever stole his food, Maharshi stopped his breathing but kept on his tapsya on Brahma, and the latter conferred the title of 'Brahmarshi'! Vishmamitra conveys Rama's desire to show Shiva Dhanush and Janaka gives the background of the Dhanush; King Nimi was gifted Shiva Dhanush at his son Devarata's wedding; Devi Sita as 'Ayonija' as Janaka tills bhuyagina.-Rama lifted up the Shiva Dhanush as if it were a toy, straightened it with great ease, held the middle part, and as though of a child play broke into two pieces. That breaking resulted in earthshaking like reverberations. King Janaka said: Once wedded to Shri Rama, my daughter ought to be proud to his life partner and bring in glory to Janaka vamsha! Brahmarshi said: tathaastu!- King Janaka sent a messenger to King Dasharatha to state: Shri Rama in the midst of all of us had managed the control and breaking of the age old Shiva Dhanush and as per my repeated announcements would like to propose my daughter Devi Sita to Shri Rama in a wedding ceremony and therefore request you to attend

the same along with your queens and the entire retenue. Besides Rama and Devi Sita, may we also propose the wedding of Lakshmana with my younger daughter Urmila too- Dasharadha was pleased and addressed Vasishtha and Ministers to leave next morning -Accompanied by Gurus, wives and intimate and other relatives and friends, King Dasharatha was happy and blissful and instructed Sumantra to let the royal treasurer carry surplus funds of cash, jewellery, nine gems ahead and for their safety there ought to be fool proof defence arrange -ments. A four day procession with needed halts on way moved on with plentiful food and drinks. On their arrival at the outskirts of the Kingdom, King Janaka made elaborate reception with music, song, dance and ecstatic welcome showers of flowers-In an open Janaka Sabha, Vasishtha narrated the glory of Ikshvaku Vamsha: Brahma Deva the Swayambhu manifested Marichi, from the latter was born Kashyapa whose son was Vivisvaan as the latter gave birth to Vaivasvata Manu. Manu was the foremost Prajapati and from Manu was born Ikshvaku the first King of Ayodhya. Then were highlighted: Pruthu-Mandhata-Sagara- Bhagiratha- Ambareesha-Nahusha-Yayati-Naabhaga- Ajaand Dasharatha- King Janaka explained about his vamsha from renowned King Nimi, whose son named Mithibeing the ever first Janaka as the 'vamsha' known as of Janakas. Then he introduced Kushadhvaja his younger brother desirous of getting his two daughters to Bharata and Shatrughna and declared Mandaveeka and Shutakeerti as their respective wives. respectively.- Public Declarations were made in the presence of Kings, Maharshis, and the public and hectic preperations were made; The vivahika vedika was got ready befitting the status and magnificence of two great Kings. Then Janaka welcomed the brides and bridegrooms.-- Afer the festivities concluded, guests were shovered with precious gifts, the groom's party moved back on the return journey but a terrible sand storm was faced. Parashu Rama arrived shouting 'Rama Rama' with terrible anger as the Shiva Dhanush was broken. Dasharatha tried to pacify but with anger, handed over Vishnu Dhanush and challenging Rama to break it if at all possible. An angry Rama not only lifted the dhanush as though Vishnu did against Madhukaitabha daityas but stated that with that very dhanush he could as well demolish Parashu Rama too! An utterly humiliated Parashu Rama was then instructed to return to Mahendra Mountain for ever!- As the rerurn procession finally reached the city of Ayodhya, it was ready with dhwaja-patakas, welcome sounds of drums and music, dances and decoratons. Dasharatha along with his sons and new daughters-in-law along with the Queens made an auspicious entry. Later, Raja Kumaras shared royal responsibilities. Rama and Sita became famed as Vishnu and Lakshmi.

Ayodhya Khanda

Considering Shri Rama's eligibility for Ayodhya's Yuvarajatva, King Dasharatha convenes a durbar meeting -King Dashatatha secures public approval for Rama's Yuvarajatva-Dasharatha discusses the details of Rama's Rajyabhisheka with Vasishtha and asks Rama to attend the Rajya sabha- Rama seeks his mother Devi Koushlya's blessings and endears Lakshmana-Dasharatha and Vasishtha ask Rama and Sita to observe fasting before the celebrations of Yuvarajatva- Ayodhya public's joy and pre-celebrations-Villianous Manthara gets upset on Rama's Yuvarajatva and reaches Kaikeyi and provokes and poisons Kaikeyi's mindset suggesting Rama's Vana Vaasa and Bharata's elevation as Yuvaraaja- Fully poisoned by Mandhara, Kaikeyi enters 'Kopa griha'- the symbolic AngerChamber-King Dasharatha seeks to pacify her beloved queen Kaikeyi-Kaikeyi seeks to remind of Dasharatha's promise of granting her of two boons at a battle as she saved him, demands Rama's 'vana vaasa'/ Bharata's Rajyabhisheka-Dasharatha's remorse at Kaikeyi's undue demands even having admitted the boons and pleads with Kaikeyi not to insist but in vain - Dasharatha's intense cryings and persistent pleadings with Kaikeyi but she argued in the name of dharma citing the tradition of truthfulness of Ikshvaku ancestors- Kaikeyi's stubbuornness to relent - Vashishta Maharshis intervetion fails and Charioteer Sumanra asked for Rama's arrival at the King's Palace-Sumanta arrives at Rama's palace whileRama and Lakshmana on the way to King's Palace

enjoying public's joy at Rama's elevation-Excellent preparations in the city for the celebrations by the following day- Rama witnessing heart broken Dasharatha and Kaikeyi's rude intervention demanding Rama's Vana Vaasa for fourteen years in prscirbed dress code and of Bharat's Kingship-Rama agrees to her terms and proceeds to Kouashalya to break the news - Koushalya's sudden and of tragic news leads to agony and standstill senselessness as Rama seeks to pacify-Lakshmana gets agitated at the turn of the events and so did Kousalya but Rama assuages their badly hurt as Rama explains that 'pitru vaakya paripaalana' ought to be his life's motto and dharma. Rama asked Lakshmana to remove all the preparatory materials like the vessels etc. meant for his Rajyabhisheka since that would be unwanted then-Reacting to remove the material for Rajyabhishaka, Lakshmana argued whether the decicision was correct, but Rama once again reiterated as irrevocable - Devi Kousalya, reacting sharply about Rama's decisiveness to undergo vana vaasa resolves to follow him, and Rama invoked the argument of her preserving Pativratya and should not desert her husband-With great difficulty, Rama finally convinces Kousalya to let him leave for 'vana vaasa'and she relented finally.- As Rama left Kousalya with mutual anguish, the Public too was unaware of the tragic developent, much less Devi Sita who was horrified-Devi pleads her accompanying Rama for the forest life -Rama dissuades Sita to accompany him for Vana Vaasa-Sita invokes her 'Paativratya Dharma' and insists- Devi Sita sobs heavily and Rama had to finally concedes-Lakshmana too insists on accompanying Rama- latter agrees; Rama desires of offering charities- Sita Rama's charity to Vasishtha Kumara Sujyagjna and wife, brahmanas, brahmacharis, servants- Sita Rama Lakshmanas visit Kaikeyis's palace to meet Dasharatha as Nagara vaasis weep away -Sita Rama Lakshmanas approach Dasharatha with queens before vana vaasa; the latter swoons and recovers and embraces them and swoons again-Sumantra criticizes Kaikeyi as the latter justifies-Dasharatha instructs treasure to be sent along with Sumatra for initial phase of vana vaasa; Rama Lakshmans dressed up in valkals as Vishtha rejects Sita wearing that dress- Dasharatha too rejects Sita wearing Valkava vastras even as Kaikeyi was unhappy, but Rama approves--Dasaratha breaks into cryings, Sunantra arrives with the chariot, Sita receives 'pati seva upadesha' from Kousalya, Rama Sita Lakshmanas bid farewell to all - Sita Rama Lakshmanas perform pradakshinas to Dasharathaand the mothers, Sita Rama Lakshmanas alight the chariot and the crowds get terribly agitated-As the unruly crowd was interrupting the Chariot several times, the citizens were crying away aloud shatterring the skies, especially the women folk-King Dasharatha cries and swoons for Rama, distances from Kaikevi's palace and shifts to Kousalya's-Maha Rani Kousalya's agony asDevi Sumitra assuages Kousalya's tormented psyche-Rama appeals to the Ayodhya public not to hurt Dasaratha or Bharata- the elders of the public insist on following Rama upto Tamasa river banks- Rama Sita Lakshmana's over night stay at Tamasa banks- they leave ealiest unnoticed- public felt bad-Ayodhya elders and women got disturbed inability to see off Rama to the deeper forests crossing Tamasa- Ayodhya woman folk cry away Rama Sita Lakshmanas for further 'vana vaasa'- Public of Kosala Janapada throng at the Chariot carrying Ramas whoalso cross Veda shruti-Gomati-Skandika rivers- Ramas arrive at Shringavera pura on the banks of Ganga- stay overnight and Nishada Raja Guha welcomes them-Lakshmana - Guha feel and exchange expressions of sadness-Guha navigates Sita Rama Lakshmanas across Ganga- Rama bids farewell to the reluctant Sumamtra- Sita's intense prayers to the Sacred Ganga- after crossing Ganga reach Vatsa desha for night halt- As Rama asks Lakshmana to return back to Ayodhya at least now but Lakshmana protests-Ramas reach Bharadvaaja ashram and the Maharshi advises them to settle at Chitrakoota mountain - while they cross Yamuna from Prayaga- Sita prays to Yamuna- their overnight stay at otherside of Yamuna-Ramas reach Chitrakoota-Maharshi Valmiki at ashram- Maharshi teaches Lakshmana Vaastu Shastra- Sumantra reaches Ayodhya- 'aarta naadaas' by public and Dasharatha and queens-Sumantra conveys Shri Rama- Lakshmanas's messages to the parents-Condition of the Ayodhya public and at the state of Rama's distresses Dashatratha extremely- Anguish of Devi Kouasalya sought to be assuaged by Sumatra-Kousalya's crying protests against Dasharatha-Regretful Dasharatha with folded hands and prostrations seeks pardon from Kousalya-Dasaratha's confession to Kousalya about his youthful blunder of killing a Muni Kumara - Having revealed details of the Muni hatya, the helpless cryings of his blind parents - Vriddha Muni's curse that Dasaradha would die in son's absence-Dasharatha -Pursuant to Dasharatha's death, his queeens cried out, deathwise-praises and music followedQueens, Ministers and staff- and public vision the body as retained in oil vessels-Maharshis assemble with Purohita Vasishtha to decide on the successor Kingship-Vashishtha despaches messengers to Kaikeya kingdom to bringBharata along with Shatrughna.- As messengers arrive at Bharata's place, the latter felt 'dussvapnas' early morning-Ayodhya's messengers arrive at Bharat's maternal uncle's palace, bring gifts and message to return-Bharata Shatrughnas arrive at Ayodhya and found the city as silent and listless!- Bharata reaches Kaikeyi palace and hears the news of his father's demise and Rama Sita Lakshmana 'vana vaasa' and Bharata's rajyaabhisheka!- The rattled up Bharata protests violently and detests- Kaikeyi's evil mindedness-Bharata's open protests against Kaikeyi-Bharata's 'shapatha' / swearing in the presence of Kousalya-Raja Dasharatha's 'antyeshthi' / 'dahana samskaara'-Bharatha performs Dashartha's 'shraaddha karma' and 'maha daanaas' - collection of ashes and 'nimajjana' - 'daaha samskaara'-Shatrugna attacks the villainess Kubja, the servant maid of Kaikeyi, to senselessness and spares her death! Ministers propose Bharata's 'rajyabhisheka' - but the latter proposes only temporary authority as Shri Rama ought to be the real King-Bharata initiates the constuction of comfortable 'Raja Marga' from Rivers Sarayu to banks of Ganga-As 'mangala vaadyas' were heard on a morning, Bharata felt uneasy and asked Vasishtha to come to Rajva sabha with Ministers and officials- Bharata disagrees with Vasishtha that kingship was Rama's birth right and only a passing solution now-Bharata's vana yatra and night halt at Shringaverapura -Nishaada Raja hosts Bharata's overnight stay before crossing Ganga the next day- Bharata and Nishada Raja exchange viwes of Rama's magnanimity-Nishada Raja extols about the nobility and devotion to Rama of Lakshmana-On hearing details of Rama Sita Lakshmanas, Bharata swooneddown, Shatrugna and the mothers cried away, and persisted on the details of the threesome regarding their food and sleeping patterns-Guha showed the bed of 'kusha grass' by which Sita Ramas slept on that night and the 'valkala vastras' left behind-Bharata accompanied by sena, mothers, Munis and public arrives at Bharadvaaja ashram-Bharata visits Bharadwaja 'ashram'- The Maharshi bestows Bharata and entire entourage including vast army a heavenly hospitality-Bharata introduces his three mothers and Bharadvaja blesses them and indicates the way to Chitrakoota- Bharata's Chitrakoota yatra described-Shri Rama shows the beauty and grandeur of Chitrakoota to Sita-Shri Rama displays the exquisiteness of River Mandakini to Sita-As the wild beasts and birds running astray of Chitrakoota, Lakshmana went up atop a shaala tree as an army was nearing and Lakshmana was angered-As Lakshmana saw Bharata approaching, he got angrybut Rama cooled him down-Bharata and advance party located Rama's 'kuteera' and visited the details inside -Bharata Shatrughnas locate Rama, prostrate and crying- Shri Rama having enquired Bharata's welfare gave elaborate lessons of Kshatra Dharmas on his own- Rama asks Bharata the reason of his arrival as Bharata requests him to return and accept Kingship; but Rama refuses-Bharata requests Rama to reconsider Kingship and informs King Dasharath's sad demise-Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas cry away at father's death-offerings of tarpana and pinda daana - With Vasishtha ahead the three Devis arrive, all the sons prostrate the mothers and Vasishtha too-Bharata broaches about Rama's return & kingship -Bharata again pesters Rama to assume kingship-Shri Rama instructs Bharata to return to Ayodhya at once-Muni Jaabali supports Bharata and his argument that sounded spread of 'nastikata'-Rama asserts that karma and rebirth are the corner stones of 'Astikata'-Vasishtha traces the geneology of IkshvakuVamsha and asks to uphold its fame and assume Kinghip as the eldest son of Dasharatha-Shri Rama reiterates that 'Pitru Agjna' was paramount yet doubled edged that he should undergo vana vaasa and Bharata should rule for that period! -As Bharata was not ready yet to return to Ayodhya, Shri Rama grants his 'charana paadukaas' and finally bid farewell to Bharata and the entourage-Bharata and the entourage reach back toMaharshi Bharadwaja's ashram and return to Ayodhya-On return to Ayodhyam Bharata realises the sad state of the city of Ayodhdya-Bharata instals Shri Rama 'Paadukaas' at Nandigrama and administers Ayodhya from there-All the Rishis of Chitra koota commenced leaving the place due to problems of Rakshasas-Sita Rama Lakshmanas too decided to leave Chitrakoota and proceeded to Maharashi Ashram of Atri and Maha Pativrata Anasuya-Devis Anasuya and Sita exchange views- Anasuya gives gifts to Sita- Sita describes her 'swayamvara'-Thus Devi Sita having accepted the gifts from Devi Anasuya reaches Shri Rama for overnight stay at Atri Maharshi Ashram for further journey.

Sarga One

Shri Rama - Devi Sita-Lakshmanas felicitated in 'Muni ashramas'

Praviśya tu mahāranyam dandakāranyam ātmayān,dadarśa rāmo durdharsas tāpasāśramamandalam/ kuśacīraparikṣiptam brāhmyā lakṣmyā samāvṛtam, yathā pradīptam durdharśam gagane sūryamandalam/ śaranyam sarvabhūtānām susamrstājiram sadā, pūjitam copanrttam ca nityam apsarasām ganaih/ viśālair agniśaranaih srugbhāndair ajinaih kuśaih, samidbhis tovakalaśaih phalamūlais ca sobhitam/ āranyais ca mahāvṛksaih punyaih svāduphalair vṛtam, balihomārcitam puṇyam brahmaghoṣanināditam/ puṣpair vanyaiḥ parikṣiptam padminyā ca sapadmayā, phalamūlāśanair dāntais cīrakṛsnājināmbaraih/ sūryavaisvānarābhais ca purānair munibhir vṛtam, punyais a niyatāhāraih śobhitam paramarsibhih/ tad brahmabhavanaprakhyam brahmaghosanināditam, brahmavidbhir mahābhāgair brāhmaṇair upaśobhitam/ tad dṛṣṭvā rāghavaḥ śrīmāms tāpasāśrama mandalam, abhyagacchan mahātejā vijyam krtvā mahad dhanuh/ divyajñānopapannās te rāmam drstvā maharsayah, abhyagacchams tadā prītā vaidehīm ca yaśasyinīm/ te tam somam iyodyantam drstyā yai dharmacārinah, maṅgalāni prayuñjānāh pratyagrhnan dṛdhavratāh rūpasamhananam laksmīm saukumāryam suvesatām, dadrśur vismitākārā rāmasya vanavāsinah/ vaidehīm laksmanam rāmam netrair animisair iva,āścaryabhūtān dadrśuh sarve te vanacārinah/ atrainam hi mahābhāgāh sarvabhūtahite ratāh, atithim parnaśālāyām rāghavam samnyaveśayan/tato rāmasya satkṛtya vidhinā pāvakopamāḥ, ājahrus te mahābhāgāḥ salilam dharmacāriṇaḥ/ mūlam puṣpam phalam vanyam āśramam ca mahātmanah, nivedayītvā dharmajñās tataḥ prāñjalayo 'bruvan/ dharmapālo janasyāsya śaraṇyaś ca mahāyaśāh, pūjanīyaś ca mānyaś ca rājā dandadharo guruh/ indrasvaiya caturbhāgah prajā raksati rāghava, rājā tasmād vanān bhogān bhunkte lokanamaskrtah/ te vayam bhavatā raksyā bhavadvisaya vāsinaḥ, nagarastho vanastho vā tvam no rājā janeśvaraḥ/ nyastadaṇḍā vayam rājañ jitakrodhā jitendriyāh, raksitavyās tvayā śaśvad garbhabhūtās tapodhanāh/ evam uktvā phalair mūlaih puspair vanyaiś ca rāghavam, anyaiś ca vividhāhāraih salaksmanam apūjayan/ tathānye tāpasāh siddhā rāmam vaiśvānaropamāḥ, nyāyavṛttā yathānyāyam tarpayām āsur īśvaram/

On entering the interior most nucleus of Dandakaranya, Shri Rama-Devi Sita-Lakshmanas had witnessed countless Tapasvi Muni Ashramas with excitement. The most common sight visiusalised was of Valkala Vastra Dhaaris akin to Surya Mandala on Bhutala , which should be resplendent even to Rakshasas would shudder to enter. The groups of the Ashramas are indeed the refuge points to all the creatures like Vanya mrigas and pakshis which move about freely with fearlessness and risks of life. Their entries and the surroundings are spic and span that 'apsaras' often organise nritthya-naatakas or dance -drama preformance of shows for the entertainment of the Tapasvis. The ashramas are endowded with notable yagna shalaas, 'sruvaadi yagna paatraadi' equipment, mriga charmas, kushas, samidhaas, jalapurna kalashaas, and fresh and aromatic flower garlands. Aranya Vrikshas yield wild fruits and nuts and spices aplenty . *Balihomārcitam punyam brahmaghoṣanināditam*/ Besides homa prakriyas, <u>Bali Vaishvadeva</u> are the integral parts of all the Ashramas apart from the the echos of veda mantras as built in to the common living.

[Vishleshana on Bali Vaishva Deva: Vaishwdeva is significant as there are five major sources of 'Jeeva Himsa' called 'Panchasuna': Vaishvadevah prakartavyah Pancha Sunaapanuttaye, Khandani peshani chulli jala kumbhotha maarjani/ ('Khanadani' or cutting vegetables etc by the Kichen Cutter made of iron or sharp metals, Peshani or pounding and pasting appliances, retaining water in and cleaning of vessels; besides washing the material and sweeping and floor cleaning). Vaishwadeva is one way of reducing the impact of killing the 'Pranis' by way of the these main routine means. This Prakarana of Vaishvadeva commences from the mornings but not as in the Agni Karyaas in the evenings. Hence the Sankalpa: Pratassaayam VaishvaDeva karishye/ In fact, there are Pancha Maha Yagnas that are required to be performed on daily basis viz. Brahma Yagna, Bhuta Yagna, Pitru Yagna, and Manushya Yagna. Rigvedis consider three Yagnas viz. Deva Yagna, Bhuta Yagna and Brahma Yagna; Manushya Yagna is

to provide food to Human Beings. Griha pakva havishvaannaistaila kshaaraadi varjitaih, Juhuyaatsirpashaabhyaktaih Gruhyegnou loukikey pivaa/ Yasminngnoupachedannam tasmin homo vidhiyatey/ (The 'Havyanna' or the food which is cooked at home without oil, salt and spice but made of ghee in the 'Gruhaagni' or Loukigani or that as prepared at Vivaahaadi Homaas after 'Nityouposana' is indeed worthy of Vaishvadeva Karya). Since this Havishaanna is also used for Pitru Yagna and Nitya Shraaddha this is eminently worthy of consumption by Brahmanas. This Vaishvadeva is therefore a sure means of Atma Samskaara and Anna Samskaara. Therefore there would be one Vaishvadeva in a family unit of undivided brothers. If for any reason, this kind of 'Anna paaka' is unavilable, the Vaishvadevaanna might be prepared as of Ekadashi Bhojana made of cooked rice, milk, curd, ghee, fruit and water. Vaishvadeva needs to be done with 'Anna' by hand; if this had to be done by water then it has to be by 'Anjali'. But Kodravam chanakam maasham masuram cha kulutthakam, Kshaaram cha lavanam sarvam Vaishwadevevi varjitam/ (The specified pulses, spices and salt are forbidden for use in the Vaishvadeva Karya.) In case the Kartha leaves station then he should commission a Ritvik to perform the needful. Alternatively he could observe the Karya wherever he goes out of his house. Rigvedis and Taittiriyaas consider it necessary to perform Vaishvadeva both in the day time and the night; they observe it by preparing the Lokaagni Paaka or at Vivahas etc. as described above. When Vaishvadeva is done twice a day/night, then the Vaishnavites light up sixteen or five 'Deepaas' or Lights. After providing various 'Upachaaraas' or Services, then they offer Naivedya to Bhagavan Vishnu with the same food meant for consumption of the family and a part of it is given as Viashvadeva. Vishnorniveditaannena yashtavyam Devataantaram, Pitrubhyaschaapi taddeyan tadaanantyaaya kalpatey/(The naivedya offered to Bhagavan Vishnu is what should be offered to other Devataas; in fact this 'Prasaada' or the 'Sesha Naivedya' or the left over food is apt for offering to Pitru Devataas also as that offer would secure 'Ananta Punya'. In this context, a Vaishnava is stated to have assumed the 'Diksha' or Mantrika Discipline from a Guru of the 'Upadesha' of the 'Ashtaakshara Mantra' and its Japa. Those who are in the 'Vaishnava Parampara'or of Vaishnava Following do strictly obeserve regulations of Upavasa Dharmaas on Ekadashis and many such self restraints. One might wonder that after all a person could be qulified as Vaishanava only if he observes severe procedures and conventions like the observance of 'Pancha Raatraas' and so on. This query is replied that it is no doubt observance of Pancha Ratraas etc. are no doubt great qualifications to become a Vaishnava, but there are Vaishnvites among Kshatriyas and Vaishyas too as they do observe Gayatrupadesha-Adhyayana-Daana-Japa-Yagna and such normal Dharmas effortlessly and at the same perform their Varnaashrama dharmas like those of Kshatriya's Administration and Vaishya's business duties. They do imbibe qualities of Shuchi, Snaana, Sutakatwa, Shraadha vidhis etc from Vaishnava Brahmanas. Ashvalaayana Vaishvadeva Vidhi: Ashvalaayanas perform Vaishvadeva with the Sankalpa: Mamaatmaanna samskaara panchasoonaa janita dosha parihaaradwaara Parmeshwara preetyartham Praataraishva devam Saayam Vaishvadevam cha sahatamtrena karishye/(I shall perform the morning and evening Vaishvadeva to gratify Paramatma to offset the blemishes arising out of Anna Samskara and Panchasoona vidhis. Then prepare 'Paakaanna' in pot by lighting up Pachaagni named Paavaka and on reciting Chatvaari Shringaa and after Prokshana with water all around the 'Agni Kunda' saying Vishvaaninah, mix up with ghee and curd and make three parts, offer with right hand one part for Devata Homa uttering Suryaaya swaaha, Suryaayedam namama, Prajapataye, Somaaya, Vanaspataye, Agnishomaabhyaam, Indraagnibhyaam, Dyaavaa Prithivi -bhyaam, Dhanvantaraye Indraaya, Vishvepa- Devebhyah Brahmaney; these are ten 'Prataravaishwa Devaahutis'. Like wise the 'Saayam Vaishva -Deveeyaas' of Agnaye swaahaa, Prajaapataye etc. are done. Thus twenty Aahutis are offered to Agni deva and perform 'Parisha -muhana' around the Homa Kunda with water by way of Sparsha and 'Paryukshana' by way of prokshana saying *Om chamey*. Then the 'Upasthyaana Karya' or terminal task be done. This is the procedure of Deva Yagna. Bali Harana:Out of the remainder 'Anna Bhaga', a portion be kept on clean Bhumi around the Homa Kunda and offer to Agni uttering Suryaaya swaahaa Suryaaya idam namah; in this fashion, there should be sixteen Ahutis from the portions kept on the East side with space in between and utter: Adbhya swaaha, Oshadhi vanaspatibhyah, Gruhaabhyah, Griha Devataabhyaha, Vaastu Devataabhyaha/ Then continue the Ahutis from the Eastern side as follows: *Indraaya* and to the North direction *Indrapurushebhyah*; to *Yama*

purushebhyah towards Sky on the Southern side; Varuna Purushebhyah to the Eastern side; Soma Purushebhyah on northern side; and Brahmaney, Brahma Purushebyah, VishwebhyhoDevebhyah Sarvebhyo Devebhyah, Divaachaa -ribhyah/Like wise Saayamkaala Vaishva Deva Bali harana too be performed. Bhuta Yagna: The third part of the Anna Bhaga is offered with 'Praacheenaa veeti' addressed to Yama uttering Swadhaa Pitrubhyah and on the Southern side Pitrubya idam namah to Pitru Devatas. Some persons perform Bali Harana in a circular manner; Balaavanudhrutey naadyaannodhareccha Swayam Bali/ (Before the Bali daana none in the family should consume food, nor one should perform Bali by him self). Pitru Yagna: After the Bali daana, the Karta should have the homefront done up with Jala Prokshana and offer the Pitru Pindas in different directions to enable crows to eat the same: Aindra Vaaruna Vaayavyaa Yaamyai Nairrutikaaschaye, tey Kaakaah pratigruhnantu Bhumyaam pindam mayojjitham/ (May the Pindas kept on Bhumi in Indra-Yama-Nirruti-Varuna-Vayu Dishas be consumed away by crows by way of the remainders of the Pitru Yagnaanna). Further there are two 'Shunakas' or dogs in the abode of Lord Yama named 'Shyama Shabalaas' and I offer them these Pindas with the supplication to them to safeguard us in our paths! Having done this, the Karta should wash his feet, perform Aachamana and having recited Shaantaa Prithivi and Vishnu Smarana and enter his house. Manushya Yagna: The Karta should apportion one 'Atithi bhojana' or sixteen or at least four fistfuls of Anna reciting: Sanakaadi Manushyobhoy hanteydam na mama/ This might be given away to mendicants Source: Dharma Sindhul.

Sarga continued: The Maha Tapasvis clad in black deerskins and sustained with limited meals of kanda moola phalas are 'jitendriyas' super controllers of mind and limbs are of the radiance of Surya- Agnis as living in the abode of Brahma Himself with 'veda ghosha' all through the day. Shri Rama then disarmed of his 'dhanush tuneeraas' and entered the ashramas. The Maharshi with his ability of divine vision realised Devi Sita was standing outside and pleasantly stepped outside. He had then most courteously received them all with Lakshmanas too. rūpasamhananam laksmīm saukumāryam suvesatām, dadršur vismitākārā rāmasya vanavāsinah/ vaidehīm laksmanam rāmam netrair animisair iva,āścaryabhūtān dadrśuh sarve te vanacārinah/ Shri Rama's arresting personality, his body build, radiance, soft voice, have all readily attracted the on lookers of the ashram and around. All of them rivetted their looks on Sita-Rama- Lakshmanas. Then the Maha Munis respectfully paid their hospitality at once with 'pushpamtoyam- phalam- asanam. Then they addressed Rama as follows: dharmapālo janasyāsya śaraṇyaś ca mahāyaśāh, pūjanīyaś ca mānyaś ca rājā dandadharo guruh/ indrasyaiva caturbhāgah prajā raksati rāghava, rājā tasmād vanān bhogān bhunkte lokanamaskrtah/Raghu Rama! As you are the King of the land capable of 'danda dhaarana', you are our Supreme Administrator, the reflector of glory, worship worthy, and the Master of all of us. Indeed, we seek to salute to you as the chakravarti! You are our Ruler, par excellence as much in cities as in dandakaranya heretoo. So saying, the Maha Munis provided them unprecedented honours to Rama- Sita- Lakshmanas to mutual contentment and happiness.

Sarga Two

As Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas proceeded into the thick forest, they encounterd Rakshasa Viraatha

kṛtātithyo 'tha rāmas tu sūryasyodayanam prati, āmantrya sa munīn sarvān vanam evānvagāhata/
nānāmṛgagaṇākīrṇam śārdūlavṛkasevitam, dhvastavṛkṣalatāgulmam durdarśa salilāśayam/
niṣkūjanānāśakuni jhillikā gaṇanāditam, lakṣmaṇānugato rāmo vanamadhyam dadarśa ha/ vanamadhye
tu kākutsthas tasmin ghoramṛgāyute, dadarśa giriśṛṅgābham puruṣādam mahāsvanam/ gabhīrākṣam
mahāvaktram vikaṭam viṣamodaram,bībhatsam viṣamam dīrgham vikṛtam ghoradarśanam/ vasānam
carmavaiyāghram vasārdram rudhirokṣitam,trāsanam sarvabhūtānām vyāditāsyam ivāntakam/ trīn
simhāmś caturo vyāghrān dvau vṛkau pṛṣatān daśa, saviṣāṇam vasādigdham gajasya ca śiro mahat/
avasajyāyase śūle vinadantam mahāsvanam, sa rāmam lakṣmaṇam caiva sītām dṛṣṭvā ca maithilīm/
abhyadhāvat susamkruddhaḥ prajāḥ kāla ivāntakaḥ, sa kṛtvā bhairavam nādam cālayann iva medinīm/

angenādāya vaidehīm apakramya tato 'bravīt, yuvām jatācīradharau sabhāryau ksīnajīvitau/ pravistau dandakāranyam śaracāpāsidhārinau,katham tāpasayor vām ca vāsah pramadayā saha/ adharmacārinau pāpau kau yuvām munidūṣakau, aham vanam idam durgam virāgho nāma rākṣasah/ carāmi sāyudho nityam rşimāmsāni bhakşayan, iyam nārī varārohā mama bharyā bhavişyati, yuvayoh pāpayoś cāham pāsvāmi rudhiram mrdhe/ tasvaivam bruvato dhrstam virādhasva durātmanah, śrutvā sagarvitam vākvam sambhrāntā janakātmajā, sītā prāvepatodvegāt pravāte kadalī yathā/ tām dṛṣṭvā rāghavaḥ sītām virādhānkagatām śubhām, abravīl laksmaṇam vākyam mukhena pariśusyatā/ paśya saumya narendrasya janakasvātmasambhavām, mama bhāryām subhācārām virādhānke pravesitām, atvanta sukhasamvrddhām rājaputrīm yaśasvinīm/ yad abhipretam asmāsu priyam vara vrtam ca yat, kaikeyyās tu susamyrttam ksipram adyaiva laksmana/ yā na tusyati rājyena putrārthe dīrghadarśinī, yayāham sarvabhūtānām hitah prasthāpito vanam, advedānīm sakāmā sā vā mātā mama madhyamā/ parasparšāt tu vaidehyā na duhkhataram asti me, pitur vināśāt saumitre svarājyaharanāt tathā/ iti bruvati kākutsthe bāṣpaśokapariplute, abravīl lakṣmaṇaḥ kruddho ruddho nāga iva śvasan/ anātha iva bhūtānām nāthas tvam vāsavopamah, mayā presyena kākutstha kimartham paritapsyase/ śarena nihatasyādya mayā kruddhena raksasah, virādhasya gatāsor hi mahī pāsyati śonitam/ rājyakāme mama krodho bharate yo babhūva ha, tam virādhe vimokṣyāmi vajrī vajram ivācale/ mama bhujabalavegavegitaḥ; patatu śaro 'sya mahān mahorasi, vyapanayatu tanoś ca jīvitam; patatu tataś ca mahīm vighūrnitah/

Having experienced the 'atithya' of the Maha Munis for the night, Ramaas proceeded further into the 'dandakaranya'. On the way ahead they found a specific central area where a number of wild animals including tigers and wild boars were assembled and there amidst was seated a huge 'nara rupa rakshasa' was seated too of mountatin size. gabhīrākṣam mahāvaktram vikaṭam viṣamodaram,bībhatsam viṣamam dīrgham vikrtam ghoradarśanam vasānam carmavaiyāghram vasārdram rudhiroksitam,trāsanam sarvabhūtānām vyāditāsyam ivāntakam/ trīn simhām's caturo vyāghrān dvau vṛkau pṛsatān dasa, savisānam vasādigdham gajasva ca śiro mahat/ His eyes were deep, face was giant like, body shape frightful, stomach was heavily protruded and in all was a spetacle of alarm and shock. His mouth was fully smeared with blood and pieces of raw meat seated like a yama raja with the body covered with raw tiger skin. His massive trishula made of iron is pierced with the heads of three lions, four tigers, two wolves, and ten deers as he was then busy gulping a huge elephant head making gallopping sounds! sa rāmam lakşmanam caiva sītām dṛṣṭvā ca maithilīm/ abhyadhāvat susamkruddhah prajāḥ kāla ivāntakah, sa kṛṭvā bhairavam nādam cālayann iva medinīm/Glancing Rama Sita Lakshmanas, he roared like of 'bhairava naada' as if of an earth quake and ran after them. He approached them and screamed: You both men have worn 'jataa cheeraas' and brought a woman alondg with you too with 'dhanush baanaas' and a sword too and dared to enter dandakaranya! It appears that your lifetime is now over! You are dressed up like 'tapasvis' and have brought a woman too! You are surely two cheats, it appears! I am a rakashasa named Viratha and am daily used to eat Munis! I would like to marry this woman and kill both of you for now! On hearing this conversation, Devi Sita was shuddered with fear like a plantain tree as shaken with speed as the rakshasa was speaking likewise. The rakshasa then lifted Devi Sita on his lap. Shri Rama then addressed Lakshmana: 'Soumya! Look at this state of Janaka Maha raja putri, and my dharma patni! What a shame! Now, what Kaikeyi had longed for is coming true and she was not merely wished for kingship to her son but this type of an insult be 'rewarded!' parasparśāt tu vaidehyā na duhkhataram asti me, pitur vināśāt saumitre svarājyaharaṇāt tathā/Sumitra nandana Lakshmana! I cannot imagine witnessing a more shameful act than this as loss of kingship and not even the father's death! So saying, Rama felt insulted as his tears rolled down his cheeks! Then Lakshmana hissed like a serpent with widened hood swaying side ways and to and fro too: Kakuthstha kula bhushana! You are like Indra and the saviour of all the 'praanis' yourself; I am your mere follower and servant and why do you feel get dejected and helpless! I am just going to destroy the rakshasas Viradha and suck off his blood instatntly! The red hot anger of mine at the loss of kingship should now be delivered on 'Viraatha' as Indra would release the 'vajraayudha'! This arrow should swirl round his body in a poisonous circle and finally break his heart into smithereens!

Sarga Three

Exchange of hot words by Rama Lakshmanas with rakshasa Viraatha

Athovāca punar vākyam virādhaḥ pūrayan vanam, ātmānam prcchate brūtam kau yuvām kva gamiṣyathaḥ/ tam uvāca tato rāmo rākṣasam jvalitānanam, prcchantam sumahātejā ikṣvākukulam ātmanaḥ/ kṣatriyo vṛttasampannau viddhi nau vanagocarau, tvām tu veditum icchāvaḥ kas tvam carasi daṇḍakān/ tam uvāca virādhas tu rāmam satyaparākramam, hanta vakṣyāmi te rājan nibodha mama rāghava/ putraḥ kila jayasyāham mātā mama śatahradā, virādha iti mām āhuḥ pṛthivyām sarvarākṣasāḥ/ tapasā cāpi me prāptā brahmaṇo hi prasādajā, śastreṇāvadhyatā loke 'cchedyābhedyatvam eva ca/ utsṛjya pramadām enām anapekṣau yathāgatam, tvaramāṇau pālayethām na vām jīvitam ādade/ tam rāmaḥ pratyuvācedam kopasamraktalocanaḥ, rākṣasam vikṛtākāram virādham pāpacetasam/ kṣudra dhik tvām tu hīnārtham mṛtyum anveṣase dhruvam, raṇe samprāpsyase tiṣṭha na me jīvan gamiṣyasi/ tataḥ sajyam dhanuḥ kṛtvā rāmaḥ suniśitāñ śarān, suśīghram abhisamdhāya rākṣasam nijaghāna ha/ dhanuṣā jyāguṇavatā saptabāṇān mumoca ha, rukmapunkhān mahāvegān suparṇānilatulyagān/ te śarīram virādhasya bhittvā barhiṇavāsasaḥ,nipetuḥ śoṇitādigdhā dharaṇyām pāvakopamāḥ/ sa vinadya mahānādam śūlam śakradhvajopamam, pragṛhyāśobhata tadā vyāttānana ivāntakaḥ/ tac chūlam vajrasamkāśam gagane jvalanopamam, dvābhyām śarābhyām ciccheda rāmah śastrabhṛtām varah/

As Lakshmana was threatening the rakshasa, the latter asked loudly as to who were they precisely and Rama replied that they were the brothers of Ikshvaaku vamsha being kshatriyas having unfortunately settled in dandakaaranya for the while and the rakshasa introduced as the son of Java the father and Shatahlada the mother as Viraadha. Viradha further stated that he performed severe tapasya to Brahma and secured the boon that no 'shastra' could destroy his body ever. The rakhsasa further suggested that they the brothers might better leave the woman with him and go away as he would then not harm them. In reply, Rama said: ksudra dhik tvām tu hīnārtham mrtyum anvesase dhruvam, rane samprāpsyase tistha na me jīvan gamisyasi/ 'You rougue! Your manner of talking is of a stupid as you are certainly destined to die! Wait! Then Rama took up the dhanush, straightened it and kept on releasing the arrows like Garudadeva and Vayudeva! Then the rakshasa crumbled down with his blood spurted out; the terribly hurt rakshasa had to release Devi Sita out of his grip; having taken up a 'shula' attacked Rama Lakshmanas with anger mingled up with anguish. Rama Lakshmanas like Kaala- Antaka- Yamaraja released sudden rains of arrows. In response, the raakasa shouted aloud with pitched up and reverberating sound and fell down like a pack of bruised up body parts mutilated hither and thither! Rama then addressed Lakshmana to drag the body still alive by his strong and strudy shoulders and make way so that it ought to be a warning not merely to the cruel animals but to possibly to the co rakshasaas too even as Viradha was shouting in high pitch shrieks and earth shaking body torments.

Sarga Four

Rama Lakshmanas kill Rakshasa Viraatha

Tasya raudrasya saumitrir bāhum savyam babhañja ha, rāmas tu dakṣiṇam bāhum tarasā tasya rakṣasaḥ/ sa bhagnabāhuḥ samvigno nipapātāśu rākṣasaḥ,dharaṇyām meghasamkāśo vajrabhinna ivācalaḥ, idam provāca kākutstham virādhaḥ puruṣarṣabham/ kausalyā suprajās tāta rāmas tvam vidito mayā, vaidehī ca mahābhāgā lakṣmaṇaś ca mahāyaśāḥ/ abhiśāpād aham ghorām praviṣṭo rākṣasīm tanum, tumburur nāma gandharvaḥ śapto vaiśvaraṇena hi/ prasādyamānaś ca mayā so 'bravīn mām mahāyaśāḥ, yadā dāśarathī rāmas tvām vadhiṣyati samyuge/ tadā prakṛtim āpanno bhavān svargam gamiṣyati, iti vaiśravaṇo rājā rambhāsaktam uvāca ha/ anupasthīyamāno mām samkruddho vyajahāra ha, tava prasādān mukto 'ham abhiśāpāt sudāruṇāt, bhavanam svam gamiṣyāmi svasti vo 'stu paramtapa/ ito vasati dharmātmā śarabhaṅgaḥ pratāpavān, adhyardhayojane tāta maharṣiḥ sūryasamnibhah/ tam ksipram abhigaccha tvam sa te śrevo vidhāsvati, avate cāpi mām rāma niksipya

kuśalī vraja/ rakṣasām gatasattvānām eṣa dharmaḥ sanātanaḥ, avaṭe ye nidhīyante teṣām lokāḥ sanātanāḥ/ evam uktvā tu kākutstham virādhaḥ śarapīḍitaḥ, babhūva svargasamprāpto nyastadeho mahābalaḥ/ tam muktakaṇṭham utkṣipya śankukarṇam mahāsvanam, virādham prākṣipac chvabhre nadantam bhairavasvanam/tatas tu tau kāñcanacitrakārmukau; nihatya rakṣaḥ parigṛhya maithilīm, vijahratus tau muditau mahāvane; divi sthitau candradivākarāv iva/

As Devi Sita witnessed the scene of Lakshmana dragging the still alive body of the rakshasa, she lifted both her hands with untold relief and crying continued shouting excitedly: Satyavaadi Dasharatha nandanaas Rama Lakshmanas are dragging the still alive body of Viradha rakshasa, aho! Rakshasa! Leave me alone, and keep on eating the vanya mrigas only! Devi Sita's anguish having been thus heard, Rama Lakshmana's hastened the process of killing the rakshasa. Then they pierced the body parts, mutilated the same separately by his hands, legs, feet, stomach and so on. Even so the rakskasa was still alive. Then they dug up a massive and deep ditch and tried hard to push the mutilated body parts. But, still the rakshasa was alive even so. Then the rakshasa made the confession: 'Maha Purushas! It was a shame that I could not realise as to who were you! Now I do place you aptly! I was under the influence of a spell so far! abhiśāpād aham ghorām pravisto rākṣasīm tanum, tumburur nāma gandharvaḥ śapto vaiśvaraṇena hi/ prasādyamānaś ca mayā so 'bravīn mām mahāyaśāḥ, yadā dāśarathī rāmas tvām vadhişyati samyuge/ tadā prakṛtim āpanno bhavān svargam gamisyati, iti vaiśravano rājā rambhāsaktam uvāca ha/ I had to become a monster like this and I was originally the noted Tumbura Gandharva and Kubera the king of gandharvas cursed me to turn to a rakshasa. However he assured my liberation would be in the hands of Dasharatha nandana Shri Rama and that I would attain swarga thereafter! I was ravished with apsarasa named Rambha and hence I was delayed attending to the duty assigned to me by Kubera and thus the latter accorded this 'shaapa' to turn to a rakshasa. Raghuveera! I am now blessed to be rid of this 'shaapa' and now I could return back to my loka! Narashrashtha! From here within a distance of a yojana and half, you may like to meet Maha Muni Sharabhanga ashram. Shri Rama! The sanatana dharma states that the dead body of the departed Soul is required to dig up a drench and keep it there and you too may do so as even rakshasas would attain swarga by doing so as the old adage would prescribe so. Lakshnana! You may there fore dig up a very long and wide pit for placing the dead body of the departed rakshasa. As though prompted by one's own destiny. Viradha rakshasa after his long tapsya addressed to Brahma, the boon sought and bestowed was that none could kill him by way of shastras but did not mention of astras! Then after the placement of the huge body of the rakshasa, Rama Sita Lakshmanas proceeded further towards the Sharabhanga Maha Muni ashram.

Sarga Five

Shri Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas visit Sharabhanga Muni's ashrama and after 'atithya' the Muni departs for Brahma Loka

Hatvā tu tam bhīmabalam virādham rākṣasam vane, tataḥ sītām pariṣvajya samāśvāsya ca vīryavān, abravīl lakṣmaṇām rāmo bhrātaram dīptatejasam/ kaṣṭam vanam idam durgam na ca smo vanagocarāḥ, abhigacchāmahe śīghram śarabhaṅgam tapodhanam, āśramam śarabhaṅgasya rāghavo 'bhijagāma ha/ tasya devaprabhāvasya tapasā bhāvitātmanaḥ, samīpe śarabhaṅgasya dadarśa mahad adbhutam/ vibhrājamānam vapuṣā sūryavaiśvānaropamam, asamspṛśantam vasudhām dadarśa vibudheśvaram/ suprabhābharaṇam devam virajo 'mbaradhāriṇam, tadvidhair eva bahubhiḥ pūjyamānam mahātmabhiḥ/ haribhir vājibhir yuktam antarikṣagatam ratham,dadarśādūratas tasya taruṇādityasamnibham/ pāṇḍurābhraghanaprakhyam candramaṇḍalasamnibham, apaśyad vimalam chatram citramālyopaśobhitam/ cāmaravyajane cāgrye rukmadaṇḍe mahādhane, gṛhīte vananārībhyām dhūyamāne ca mūrdhani/ gandharvāmarasiddhāś ca bahavaḥ paramarṣayaḥ, antarikṣagatam devam vāgbhir agryābhir īḍire/ dṛṣṭvā śatakratum tatra rāmo lakṣmaṇam abravīt, ye hayāḥ puruhūtasya purā śakrasya naḥ śrutāḥ, antarikṣagatā divyās ta ime harayo dhruvam/ ime ca puruṣavyāghra ye tiṣṭhanty abhito ratham, śatam śatam kuṇḍalino yuvānah khaḍgapāṇayaḥ/ urodeśeṣu sarveṣām hārā

įvalanasamnibhāh, rūpam bibhrati saumitre pañcavimsativārsikam/etad dhi kila devānām vayo bhavati nityadā, yatheme puruṣavyāghrā dṛśyante priyadarśanāḥ/ ihaiva saha vaidehyā muhūrtam tiṣṭha lakşmana, yāvaj janāmy aham vyaktam ka eşa dyutimān rathe/ tam evam uktvā saumitrim ihaiva sthīyatām iti, abhicakrāma kākutsthah śarabhangāśramam prati/ tatah samabhigacchantam prekṣya rāmam śacīpatih, śarabhangam anujñāpya vibudhān idam abravīt/ ihopavāty asau rāmo vāvan mām nābhibhāṣate, niṣṭhām nayata tāvat tu tato mām draṣṭum arhati/ jitavantam kṛtārtham ca draṣṭāham acirād imam, karma hy anena kartavyam mahad anyaih suduṣkaram/ iti vajrī tam āmantrya mānayitvā ca tāpasam, rathena harivuktena yayau diyam arimdamah/ prayāte tu sahasrākse rāghayah saparicchadah, agnihotram upāsīnam śarabhangam upāgamat/ tasya pādau ca samgrhya rāmah sītā ca laksmanah, nisedus tadanujñātā labdhavāsā nimantritāh/ tatah śakropayānam tu paryaprcchat sa rāghavah, śarabhangaś ca tat sarvam rāghavāya nyavedayat/ mām esa varado rāma brahmalokam ninīsati, jitam ugrena tapasā dusprāpam akrtātmabhih/ aham jñātvā naravyāghra vartamānam adūratah, brahmalokam na gacchāmi tvām adṛṣṭvā priyātithim/ samāgamya gamiṣyāmi tridivam devasevitam,akṣayā naraśārdūla jitā lokā mayā śubhāḥ, brāhmyāś ca nākapṛṣṭhyāś ca pratigṛhṇīṣva māmakān/ evam ukto naravyāghraḥ sarvaśāstraviśāradah, rsinā śarabhaṅgena rāghavo vākyam abravīt/ aham evāharisvāmi sarvām≀l lokān mahāmune, āvāsam tv aham icchāmi pradistam iha kānane/ rāghaveņaivam uktas tu śakratulyabalena vai, śarabhango mahāprājñaḥ punar evābravīd vacaḥ/ sutīkṣṇam abhigaccha tvam śucau deśe tapasvinam, ramanīve vanoddeśe sa te vāsam vidhāsvati/ esa panthā naravyāghra muhūrtam paśya tāta mām, yāvaj jahāmi gātrāni jīrnam tvacam ivoragah/ tato 'gnim sa samādhāya hutvā cājyena mantravit, śarabhango mahātejāh praviveśa hutāśanam/ tasya romāni keśāmś ca dadāhāgnir mahātmanaḥ, jīrṇam tvacam tathāsthīni yac ca māmsam ca śoṇitam/ sa ca pāvakasamkāśaḥ kumāraḥ samapadyata, utthāvāgnicavāt tasmāc charabhango vvarocata/ sa lokān āhitāgnīnām rsīnām ca mahātmanām, devānām ca vyatikramya brahmalokam vyarohata/ sa punyakarmā bhuvane dvijarsabhah; pitāmaham sānucaram dadarśa ha, pitāmahaś cāpi samīksya tam dvijam; nananda susvāgatam ity uvāca ha/

After leaving the frightful phase of the dandakaranya and its memories of terror, Rama Sita Lakshmanas paced up towards the Sharabhanga Maharshi's ashram. Even as they were entering the ashram, they visioned a memorable scene on the high skies of Indra Deva passing by a chariot as his body splendour was comparable to that of Agni and Surya, while hundreds of Devatas were following behind the chariot. On Indra Deva's head above were laced above white clouds of moonshine brightness as an umbrella decorated by multi coloured flower garlands of rainbow colours of violet-indigo-blue-green-yelloworange and red. The followers include gandharva- siddha-maharshis while Lord Indra and Sharabhanga were conversing together. Shri Rama then drew attention of the celestial scene to Lakshmana: 'dear brother! Look above the scene of Lord Indra! Is not Indra looking like a youth of twenty five years! wait without walking and with Sita too! Then Indra seems to have pointed to Devas: Ihopayaastasau rāmo yāvan mām nābhibhāṣate, niṣṭhām nayata tāvat tu tato mām draṣṭum arhati/ jitavantam kṛtārtham ca draṣṭāham acirād imam, karma hy anena kartavyam mahad anyaih suduṣkaram/ Shri Rama would be soon arriving at the Sharabhanga ashram; keep quiet and step aside. None should disturb me; let not Shri Rama know of our presence here! He has to perform such a task as impossible except by Rama alone. And that is to terminate Ravana. Then only I (Indra) would reveal myself!' so saying Indra had departed! Meanwhile, Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas approached Sharabhanga as the latter was performing an 'agnikaarya'. As the Maha Muni concluded the same, Rama Sita Lakshmanas prostrated at the feet of the Maharshi and secured his blessings. Then Rama asked the Muni as to why the latter was just meeting Lord Indra. Sharabhanga replied that Indra desired the Muni to accompany him to visit Brahma Loka, but now that Rama had arrived, the Muni would leave for Brahma loka later on. Incidentally why not Rama too could visit those lokas, but Rama politely replied that he would rather stay back in dandakaranya only. Then Sharabhanga suggested Rama's visit to Sutaakshna Muni too. Then Sharabhanga offered himself to Agni with appropriate mantras and reached Brahma loka where the Maha Muni was welcomed. Agni created from his roma or skin pore hairs, kesha or head hairs, twacha or skin, asthi or bones, maamsa or flesh, rakta or blood and so on. As the Maha Muni's body parts were thus sacrificed by the resonance of

mantras, Sharabhanga was blessed to eternity and paved the way of several Maha Munis as detailed in the next stanza!

Sarga Six

<u>Vaanaprastha Munis approach Shri Rama for safety from Rakshasaas and Rama Lakshmanas assure and pacify them</u>

śarabhange divam prāpte munisamghāh samāgatāh, abhyagacchanta kākutstham rāmam įvalitatejasam/ vaikhānasā vālakhilyāh sampraksālā marīcipāh, aśmakuttāś ca bahavah patrāhārāś ca tāpasāh/ dantolūkhalinas caiva tathaivonmajjakāh pare, munayah salilāhārā vāyubhaksās tathāpare/ākāsanilayās caiva tathā sthandilaśāyinah, tathordhvavāsino dāntās tathārdrapatavāsasah/ sajapāś ca taponityās tathā pañcatapo'nvitāḥ, sarve brāhmyā śriyā juṣṭā dṛḍhayogasamāhitāḥ, śarabhaṅgāśrame rāmam abhijagmuś ca tāpasāh/ abhigamya ca dharmajñā rāmam dharmabhṛtām varam/ ūcuḥ paramadharmajñam rsisamghāh samāhitāh/ tvam iksvākukulasvāsva prthivvāś ca mahārathah, pradhānaś cāsi nāthaś ca devānām maghavān iva/ viśrutas trișu lokeşu yaśasā vikrameņa ca, pitṛvratatvam satyam ca tvayi dharmas ca puṣkalaḥ/ tvām āsādya mahātmānam dharmajñam dharmavatsalam, arthitvān nātha vaksyāmas tac ca nah ksantum arhasi/adhārmas tu mahāms tāta bhavet tasya mahīpateh, yo hared balisadbhāgam na ca raksati putravat/ yuñjānah svān iva prānān prānair iştān sutān iva, nityayuktah sadā rakṣan sarvān viṣayavāsinah/ prāpnoti śāśvatīm rāma kīrtim sa bahuvārsikīm, brahmanah sthānam āsādya tatra cāpi mahīvate/ yat karoti param dharmam munir mūlaphalāśanaḥ, tatra rājñaś caturbhāgaḥ prajā dharmeṇa rakṣataḥ/ so 'yam brāhmaṇabhūyiṣṭho vānaprasthagano mahān, tvan nātho 'nāthavad rāma rāksasair vadhyate bhrsam/ ehi pasya sarīrāni munīnām bhāvitātmanām, hatānām rāksasair ghorair bahūnām bahudhā vane/pampānadīnivāsānām anumandākinīm api, citrakūtālayānām ca kriyate kadanam mahat/evam vayam na mṛṣyāmo viprakāram tapasvinam, kriyamānam vane ghoram raksobhir bhīmakarmabhih/ tatas tvām śaranārtham ca śaranyam samupasthitāh, paripālaya no rāma vadhyamā -nān niśācaraih/ etac chrutvā tu kākutsthas tāpasānām tapasvinām, idam provāca dharmātmā sarvān eva tapasvinah, naivam arhatha mām vaktum ājñāpyo 'ham tapasvinam/ bhavatām arthasiddhvartham āgato 'ham vadrcchavā, tasva me 'vam vane vāso bhavişyati mahāphalaḥ, tapasvinām raṇe śatrūn hantum icchāmi rākṣasān/ dattvā varam cāpi tapodhanānām; dharme dhrtātmā sahalaksmanena, tapodhanaiś cāpi sahārya vrttah; sutīsknam evābhijagāma vīrah/

As Maha Muni Sharabhanga reached Brahmaloka, several Rishis approached Shri Ramas such as the following: Vaikhanasa from nakha or nails- Roma or skinpore hairs-Samprakshala or bhojanaantara vastra-Marichika or Surya / Chandra kirana paana karta-Bahu sankhyaka ashma kutta or eater of 'apakvaanna' or semi cooked anna- Patraahaara or Lealf eater-Dantotkala or he who performs by the grit of the dantaas- Unmanjaka or he who performs tapasya in neck deep waters-Gaatrashayya or he who sleeps with head on one's shoulders-Ashavya or one who sleeps with no supports at all- Anavakaashika or that person who performs on one's own without 'avakaasha' or a reason-Salalahaara or that person who lives only on water as food-Vaayu bhaksha or sustatiner by air as food- Aakashanilaya ot the person who lives in open air only-Sthandila shaayi or the person who sleeps on public places-Urthyavaasi or the person who lives on moutains or higher places- Danta or Indriya nigrah or Limb Controller-Aadrapada vaasa or the person who always wears wet clothes only-Sajapa or person of constant japa - Taponishtha-Panchagni sevaka or of Five Agni hotris: [The Panchagnis are Garhyapatya Agni for cooking in homes-Aavahaniya to invoke Surya Deva-Dakshinagni or Atmosphric Agni in the form of Lightnings or that which is invoked in Dakshina disha, Saabya and Avaastya for Vedic Purposes] Thus the significant Rishis approached Shri Rama and addressed as follows: 'Raghunandanana! On the entire earth, you are the singular saviour of dharma as Indra and Devas in the higher lokas. viśrutas trisu lokesu yaśasā vikramena ca, pitṛvratatvam satyam ca tvayi dharmas ca puṣkalaḥ/Your name and fame is well known especially about Pitru vaakya paripaalana-sathya bhashana-dharma palana. You are Mahatma-dharmagina-dharma

vatsala! We are approaching you as the 'swaarthis' or of selfish reasons. Those kings who may claim one sixth of the public's earnings and ignore public welfare are to be declared as 'adharmis'! Those kings who look after the public as their own children and ensure their welfare accomplish akshaya keerti! so 'yam' brāhmaṇabhūyiṣṭho vānaprasthagaṇo mahān, tvan nātho 'nāthavad rāma rākṣasair vadhyate bhṛśam/ ehi paśya śarīrāni munīnām bhāyitātmanām, hatānām rāksasair ghorair bahūnām bahudhā yane/ Shri Rama! Do you not realise that in this soceity of this Dandakaranya, most of the inhabitants are Brahmanas and 'vaanaprarstha ashramites' and are being killed by numberless rakshashas mercilessly. Rama! See for yourself! Feel the seriousness of the situation! How many dead bodies are required to be noticed to appreciate the gavity of the tragedies successively! All the Rishi Maharshis engaged in tapasyas and yagjna kaaryaas on the banks of Pampa Sarovara-Tungabhadra-Mandakini and so on are being butchered and gulped down by rakshasaas! Shri Rama! Dharma rakshaka! Traahi-thraahi! Sharanu-sharanu! Then Rama replied: Naivamarhatha maam vaktumaaginaapyoham tapasvinaam, kelalena swakaaryena praveshtivyam vanam mayaa/ Viprakaaramapaakrashtum rakshasairbhavataamimam, pitustu nirdeshakarah pravishtohamidam vanam/ Muni varaas! Kindly do not make me sad by making requests to me like this; I am indeed at your ready command! I have arrived here only to safeguard you all. This is not only by duty but consider my great fortune! This duty is the off shoot of 'pitru vaakya paripalana' or the vindication of my own great late father's command! I feel contented that the service to be so rendered is the direct outcome my faith and our mutual welfare! Having assured likewise, Rama Sita Lakshanas proceeded further to Tapasvi Sutaakshna Muni ashrama.

Sarga Seven

Shri Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas reach the ashram of Muni Suteekshna who offers atithya overnight

Rāmas tu sahito bhrātrā sītayā ca paramtapah, sutīksnasyāśramapadam jagāma saha tair dvijaih/ sa gatvā dūram adhvānam nadīs tīrtva bahūdakāh, dadarśa vipulam śailam mahāmegham ivonnatam/ tatas tad iksvākuvarau satatam vividhair drumaih, kānanam tau viviśatuh sītayā saha rāghavau/ pravistas tu vanam ghoram bahupuspaphaladrumam, dadarśāśramam ekānte cīramālāpariṣkṛtam/ tatra tāpasam āsīnam malapankajatādharam, rāmah sutīkṣṇam vidhivat tapovrddham abhāṣata/ rāmo 'ham asmi bhagavan bhavantam drastum āgataḥ, tan mābhivada dharmajña maharṣe satyavikrama/ sa nirīkṣya tato vīram rāmam dharmabhṛtām varam, samāśliṣya ca bāhubhyām idam vacanam abravīt/ svāgatam khalu te vīra rāma dharmabhrtām vara, āśramo 'vam tvavākrāntah sanātha iva sāmpratam/ pratīksamānas tvām eva nārohe 'ham mahāyaśah, devalokam ito vīra deham tyaktvā mahītale/ citrakūtam upādāya rājyabhraṣṭo 'si me śrutaḥ, ihopayātaḥ kākutstho devarājaḥ śatakratuḥ, sarvāml lokāñ jitān āha mama punyena karmanā/ tesu devarsijustesu jitesu tapasā mayā, matprasādāt sabhāryas tvam viharasva salakşmanah/ tam ugratapasam dīptam maharşim satyavādinam, pratyuvācātmavān rāmo brahmāṇam iva vāsavaḥ/ aham evāhariṣyāmi svayam lokān mahāmune, āvāsam tv aham icchāmi pradiṣṭam iha kānane/ bhavān sarvatra kuśalaḥ sarvabhūtahite rataḥ, ākhyātaḥ śarabhaṅgena gautamena mahātmanā/ evam uktas tu rāmena maharsir lokaviśrutah,abravīn madhuram vākyam harsena mahatāplutah/ ayam evāśramo rāma gunavān ramyatām iha, rsisamghānucaritah sadā mūlaphalair yutah/ imam āśramam āgamya mṛgasamghā mahāyaśāḥ, aṭitvā pratigacchanti lobhayitvākutobhayāḥ/ tac chrutvā vacanam tasya maharser laksmanāgrajah, uvāca vacanam dhīro viķṛsya saśaram dhanuh/ tān aham sumahābhāga mṛgasamghān samāgatān, hanyām niśitadhāreṇa śareṇāśanivarcasā/ bhavāms tatrābhiṣajyeta kim syāt kṛcchrataram tataḥ, etasminn āśrame vāsam ciram tu na samarthaye/ tam evam uktvā varadam rāmaḥ samdhyām upāgamat, anvāsva paścimām samdhyām tatra vāsam akalpavat/ tatah śubham tāpasabhojyam annam; svayam sutīksnah purusarsabhābhyām,tābhyām susatkrtya dadau mahātmā; samdhyānivrttau rajanīm samīksya/

Having crossed a number of water flows of immense depth, Rama Sita Lakshmanas sighted a very high mountain as though of Meru and passed through a dense forest. As their weary walk of extreme tiresomeness, they discovered a lonely ashram with a garden surrounded by floral and fruit bearing bushes

and trees. On proceeding further, Rama entered the ashram, self introduced as the Maha Muni Suteekshna embraced Rama and welcomed them all with the respects becoming of renowened guests. Muni Suteekshna explained that as he was expecting Ramaas he did not reach 'Deva dhaama' yet or had not yet sought mukti. Then the Maha Muni stated that as Ramas were earlier settled at Chitrakoota mountain range, Lord Indra visited the Muni and described how Rama was famed with his acts of valour and bravery. In the course of conversation, Shri Rama enquired of a suitable place for himself and Sita Lakshmanas could settle down. Suteeksha Muni stated that this place might fall vacant anyway as he was only waiting Ramas to arrive. Bhu the only drawback was of constant attacks of cruel animals. Rama replied that no doubt the ashram might no doubt be protected by cover of arrows but that would hurt the purity and piety of an 'ashram' 'per se' by the very definition of an ashram! After deliberations of an ideal ashram, the day concluded and Ramas rested for the night.

Sarga Eight

Next early morning Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas exit Suteekshna ashram

Rāmas tu sahasaumitrih sutīksnenābhipūjitah, parinamya niśām tatra prabhāte pratyabudhyata/ utthāya tu yathākālam rāghavah saha sītayā, upāspṛśat suśītena jalenotpalagandhinā/ atha te 'gnim surām's caiva vaidehī rāmalakṣmaṇau, kālyam vidhivad abhyarcya tapasviśarane vane/ udayanntam dinakaram dṛṣṭvā vigatakalmasāh, sutīksnam abhigamyedam ślaksnam vacanam abruvan/ sukhositāh sma bhagavams tvavā pūjyena pūjitāh, āprechāmah pravāsvāmo munavas tvaravanti nah/ tvarāmahe vavam drastum krtsnam āśramamandalam, rsīnām punyaśīlānām dandakāranyavāsinām/ abhyanujñātum icchāmah sahaibhir munipungavaih, dharmanityais tapodāntair viśikhair iva pāvakaih/ avisahyātapo yāvat sūryo nātivirājite, amārgenāgatām laksmīm prāpyevānvayavarjitah/tāvad icchāmahe gantum itv uktvā caranau muneh, vavande sahasaumitrih sītayā saha rāghavah/ tau samsprsantau caranāv utthāpya munipumgavah, gāḍham ālingya sasneham idam vacanam abravīt/ ariṣṭam gaccha panthānam rāma saumitriṇā saha, sītayā cānayā sārdham chāyayeyānuvrttayā/ paśyāśramapadam ramyam dandakāranyayāsinām, esām tapasvinām vīra tapasā bhāvitātmanām/ suprājvaphalamūlāni puspitāni vanāni ca, praśāntamrgavūthāni śāntapakṣigaṇāni ca/phullapaṅkajaṣaḍāni prasannasalilāni ca, kāraṇḍavavikīrṇāni taṭākāni sarāṁsi ca/ draksyase drstiramyāni giriprasravanāni ca, ramanīyāny aranyāni mayūrābhirutāni ca/ gamyatām vatsa saumitre bhavān api ca gacchatu, āgantavyam ca te drstvā punar evāśramam mama/ evam uktas tathety uktvā kākutsthah sahalaksmanah, pradaksinam munim krtā prasthātum upacakram/ tatah subhatare tūnī dhanusī cāyateksanā/ dadau sītā tayor bhrātroh khadgau ca vimalau tatah/ ābadhya ca śubhe tūnī cāpe cādāya sasvane,niṣkrāntāv āśramād gantum ubhau tau rāmalakṣmaṇau/

At the early morning of the following day, Rama Sita Lakshmanas got ready having performed pujas and addressed Suteekshna Muni thanking him for the hospitality and stated that they would like to proceed from the ashram, while departing from the memorable experiences of the self controlled 'agnitotri dharma paraayanaas' of the ashram. Their desire is to cover good distance even as Surya Deva would display his radiance and heat. Then they prostrated at the feet of the Maha Muni and the latter stated: 'Shri Rama! My blessings to you, Devi Sita your Dharmapatni who is but your shadow and to Lakshmana the loyal follower. May you in the journey ahead have no problems and smooth travel. Veera! Do enjoy the several ashramas replete with tapasvis and the ideals that they strive for realisation of the Unknown being totally involved in introspection. In the course of your yatra, you would indeed be thrilled in fabulous scenes of amazing greenery, splashes of colourful flowers, lucious fruits and a bountiful nature with flocks of animals and birds. Sarovaras and gushes of water bodies are the travel joints of the pashu pakshis presenting picturesque scenario. drakṣyase dṛṣṭiramyāṇi giriprasravaṇāni ca, ramaṇīyāny araṇyāni mayūrābhirutāni ca/ gamyatāṁ vatsa saumitre bhavān api ca gacchatu, āgantavyaṁ ca te dṛṣṭvā punar evāśramaṁ mama/ Shri Rama! You would vision eye smoothening beauty of the mountains and valleys and the ever gushing waterfalls from the high mountains, besides the ever enchanting dances of peacocks

in full bloom feathers as tuned by the parrot chirruppings signifying a bhulala swarga! Shri Rama, go and see. Lakshmana! You to follow and do return here again! Then having been well armed with archery, Rama Lakshmanas proceeded as followed by Devi Sita.

Sarga Nine

Gathering of innocent commoners and Munis seek protection from frequent attacks by Rakshasaas and Devi Sita enumerates the tenets of dharma

Sutīkṣṇenābhyanujñātaṁ prasthitaṁ raghunandanam, vaidehī snigdhayā vācā bhartāram idam abravīt/ ayam dharmah susūksmena vidhinā prāpyate mahān, nivṛttena ca śakyo 'yam vyasanāt kāmajād iha/ trīny eva vyasanāny atra kāmajāni bhavanty uta, mithyā vākyam paramakam tasmād gurutarāv ubhau, paradārābhigamanam vinā vairam ca raudratā/ mithyāvākyam na te bhūtam na bhaviṣyati rāghava, kuto 'bhilaşanam strīnām pareşām dharmanāśanam/ tac ca sarvam mahābāho śakyam vodhum jitendriyaih, taya yaśyendriyatyam ca jānāmi śubhadarśana/ trtīyam yad idam raudram paraprānābhihimsanam, nirvairam kriyate mohāt tac ca te samupasthitam/ pratijñātas tvayā vīra daņdakāraņyavāsinām, ṛṣīṇām rakṣaṇārthāya vadhaḥ samyati rakṣasām/ etannimittam ca vanam daṇḍakā iti viśrutam, prasthitas tvam saha bhrātrā dhṛtabānaśarāsanah/ tatas tvām prasthitam drstvā mama cintākulam manah, tvad vṛttam cintayantyā vai bhaven nihśreyasam hitam/ na hi me rocate vīra gamanam dandakān prati, kāranam tatra vakşyāmi vadantyāḥ śrūyatām mama/ tvam hi bāṇadhanuṣpāṇir bhrātrā saha vanam gataḥ, dṛṣṭvā vanacarān sarvān kaccit kuryāḥ śaravyayam/ kṣatriyāṇām iha dhanur hutāśasyendhanāni ca, samīpataḥ sthitam tejobalam ucchrayate bhṛśam/ purā kila mahābāho tapasvī satyavāk śuciḥ, kasmimś cid abhavat punye vane ratamrgadvije/ tasyaiva tapaso vighnam kartum indrah śacīpatih, khadgapānir athāgacchad āśramam bhata rūpadhṛk/ tasmims tad āśramapade nihitah khadga uttamah, sa nyāsavidhinā dattah punye tapasi tisthatah/ sa tac chastram anuprāpya nyāsaraksanatatparah, vane tu vicaraty eva raksan pratyayam ātmanah/ yatra gacchaty upādātum mūlāni ca phalāni ca, na vinā yāti tam khadgam nyāsarakṣaṇatatparaḥ/ nityam śastram parivahan krameṇa sa tapodhanaḥ, cakāra raudrīm svām buddhim tyaktyā tapasi niścayam/ tatah sa raudrābhiratah pramatto 'dharmakarsitah, tasya śastrasya saṃvāsāj jagāma narakaṃ munih/ snehāc ca bahumānāc ca smāraye tvām na śiksaye, na katham cana sā kāryā hṛhītadhanuṣā tvayā/ buddhir vairam vinā hantum rākṣasān daṇḍakāśritān, aparādham vinā hantum lokān vīra na kāmaye/ ksatriyānām tu vīrānām vanesu niyatātmanām, dhanusā kāryam etāvad ārtānām abhiraksanam/ kva ca śastram kva ca vanam kva ca ksātram tapah kva ca, vyāviddham idam asmābhir deśadharmas tu pūjyatām/ tad āryakalusā buddhir jāyate śastrasevanāt, punar gatvā tv ayodhyāyām ksatradharmam carisyasi/aksayā tu bhavet prītih śvaśrū śvaśurayor mama, yadi rājyam hi samnyasya bhaves tvam nirato munih/dharmād arthah prabhavati dharmāt prabhavate sukham, dharmena labhate sarvam dharmasāram idam jagat/ātmānam niyamais tais taih karşayitvā prayatnatah, prāpyate nipuṇair dharmo na sukhāl labhyate sukham/ nityam śucimatiḥ saumya cara dharmam tapovane, sarvam hi viditam tubhyam trailokyam api tattyatah/ strīcāpalād etad udāhrtam me; dharmam ca vaktum tava kah samarthah, vicārya buddhyā tu sahānujena; yad rocate tat kuru mācirena/

Having proceeded from the ashram of Suteekshna, Devi Sita tried to annotate about some fine principles of dharma to Shri Rama. She said: ayam dharmah susūkṣmeṇa vidhinā prāpyate mahān, nivṛttena ca śakyo 'yam vyasanāt kāmajād iha/ She said: Aryaputra! Indeed you are a personification of virtue yet a few finer points might perhaps be rather dormant on your mental horizon as those appear to blunt the peripheries of dharma in the pure sense. When the base appears to be 'kaama' or desire, there are two edges to a knife: one is 'swaartha' or selfishness and another is adharma or viciousness and heartlessness. trīny eva vyasanāny atra kāmajāni bhavanty uta, mithyā vākyam paramakam tasmād gurutarāv ubhau, paradārābhigamanam vinā vairam ca raudratā/ mithyāvākyam na te bhūtam na bhaviṣyati rāghava, kuto 'bhilaṣaṇam strīṇām pareṣām dharmanāśanam/ In this univerese there are three 'vyasanas' or deep rooted blemishes: Mithyaa bhashana or gossipping is one- parastree gamana is another and cruel behavior the worst! Raghunandana! Gossiping is built in human nature; 'parastree abhilaasha' is an acquired

mental aberration. Narendra! In your specific instance, this blemish is alien to you anyway, as you are of proven dharma patni vratastha- beside of course being of 'satya pratigjna-dharma nishtha-and pitru aagjnaa paalana'.BUT, tṛtīyam yad idam raudram paraprāṇābhihimsanam, nirvairam kriyate mohāt tac ca te samupasthitam/ the third and the worst is the JEEV HIMSA and that blemish is right before you! Veera! Please recall your decisiveness and swearing before Dandakaranya Rishis to uproot rakshasaas totally. Now when you are in dandakaranya, it is quite possible you resort to violence as you are a kshatriya. Maha baaho! In the past hunting was a pastime and killing innocent animals and birds was a hobby! May I quote an incident of the yore when a Satyavadi tapasvi was in a forest, Indra assumed the form of a kshatriya warrior and entered the ashram to spoil the tapasya. He kept his 'khadga' in the ashram. Then the Muni started utilising the sword for self defence. He got obsessed with the khadga and started garlanding it and without it he would not step out even. nityam śastram parivahan kramena sa tapodhanah, cakāra raudrīm svām buddhim tyaktvā tapasi niścayam/ Tapas which had been his fortune was thus gradually replaced with the love for the sword and eventually learnt using it and acquired cruelty! Then the erstwhile Muni had to reach narakas instead! Devi Sita continued stating: 'Veeravara Rama! This is why I feel, it may not be appropriate to visit dandakaranya! ksatriyānām tu vīrānām vanesu niyatātmanām, dhanuṣā kāryam etāvad ārtānām abhirakṣaṇam/ kva ca śastram kva ca vanam kva ca kṣātram tapah kva ca, vyāviddham idam asmābhir deśadharmas tu pūjvatām/ Kshatriyas should no doubt follow the golden maxim of 'Shishta Rakshana and Dushta Sikshana'; but where is vana vaasa and where is shastra dharana! Are these precepts contradictory mutually! There fore, we should follow the Desha dharma; in otherwords: as we now are in the 'ashrama sthiti', we should be distant from 'kshatriya sthiti' !In other words, when Rama would return to Ayodhya, then he might -and in fact-,ought to be-a kshatriya but as of now an ashrama vaasi only! Having discarded kingship and taken to 'vaanasprastha' and celibacy, could ksahtriya dharma be justified! This should not be worthy of either the pitruvakya paripaalana or a matter of joy for Devi Kaikeyi!! dharmād arthah prabhavati dharmāt prabhavate sukham, dharmena labhate sarvam dharmasāram idam jagat/ ātmānam niyamais tais taih karsayitvā prayatnatah, prāpyate nipunair dharmo na sukhāl labhyate sukham/ nityam śucimatih saumya cara dharmam tapovane, sarvam hi viditam tubhyam trailokyam api tattvatah/ Dharma yields Artha- dharma leads to fulfillment; and dharma is the be-all and do-all! This is the essence of Life worth living, indeed! Persons undergoing the vaanaprasthaa ashrama and its truthful duties by limited means of living of sacrifices are proportionately nearer to bliss than otherwise. strīcāpalād etad udāhṛtaṁ me; dharmaṁ ca vaktum tava kah samarthah, vicārya buddhyā tu sahānujena; yad rocate tat kuru mācirena! Devi Sita finally states that if her natural trait of feminity and apparent wavery mindedness, that she has stated on the above lines, but Rama with his high maturity of mind might like to understand the way he might like

Sarga Ten

Rama Lakshmanas assure and make 'pratiginas' of Kshatriya kula duty to safeguard the tenets of Dharma

Vākyam etat tu vaidehyā vyāhrtam bhartrbhaktayā, śrutvā dharme sthito rāmaḥ pratyuvācātha maithilīm/ hitam uktam tvayā devi snigdhayā sadršam vacaḥ, kulam vyapadišantyā ca dharmajñe janakātmaje/ kim tu vakṣyāmy aham devi tvayaivoktam idam vacaḥ' kṣatriyair dhāryate cāpo nārtaśabdo bhaved iti/ te chaartaa dandakaranye munayah samshitavrataah, maam Site svayamagamya sharanam sharanam gataah/ vasantah kaala kaaleshu vane moolaphalaashanaah, na labhante sokham bheeroo raakshasaih krurakarmabhih, bhakshyante raakshasairbheermaairmaamsopajeevibhih/ te bhakṣyamāṇā munayo daṇḍakāraṇyavāsinaḥ, asmān abhyavapadyeti mām ūcur dvijasattamāḥ/ mayā tu vacanam śrutvā teṣām evam mukhāc cyutam, krtvā caraṇaśuśrūṣām vākyam etad udāhrtam/ prasīdantu bhavanto me hrīr eṣā hi mamātulā, yadīdrśair aham viprair upastheyair upasthitaḥ, kim karomīti ca mayā vyāhrtam dvijasamnidhau/sarvair eva samāgamya vāg iyam samudāhrtā, rākṣasair daṇḍakāraṇye bahubhiḥ kāmarūpibhiḥ, arditāḥ sma bhrśam rāma bhavān nas trātum arhati/ homakāle tu samprāpte parvakāleṣu cānagha, dharṣayanti sma durdharṣā rākṣasāḥ piśitāśanāḥ/ rākṣasair dharṣitānām ca tāpasānām

tapasvinām, gatim mṛgayamāṇānām bhavān naḥ paramā gatiḥ/ kāmam tapaḥ prabhāvena śaktā hantum niśācarān, cirārjitam tu necchāmas tapaḥ khaṇḍayitum vayam/ bahuvighnam taponityam duścaram caiva rāghava, tena śāpam na muñcāmo bhakṣyamāṇāś ca rākṣasaiḥ/ tad ardyamānān rakṣobhir daṇḍakāraṇyavāsibhiḥ,rakṣanas tvam saha bhrātrā tvannāthā hi vayam vane/ mayā caitad vacaḥ śrutvā kārtsnyena paripālanam, ṛṣīṇām daṇḍakāraṇye samśrutam janakātmaje/ samśrutya ca na śakṣyāmi jīvamānaḥ pratiśravam,munīnām anyathā kartum satyam iṣṭam hi me sadā/ apy aham jīvitam jahyām tvām vā sīte salakṣmaṇām, na tu pratijñām samśrutya brāhmaṇebhyo viśeṣataḥ/ tad avaśyam mayā kāryam ṛṣīṇām paripālanam, anuktenāpi vaidehi pratijñāya tu kim punaḥ/ mama snehāc ca sauhārdād idam uktam tvayā vacaḥ, parituṣṭo 'smy aham sīte na hy aniṣṭo 'nuśiṣyate, sadṛśam cānurūpam ca kulasya tava śobhane/ity evam uktvā vacanam mahātmā; sītām priyām maithila rājaput, rāmo dhanuṣmān sahalakṣmaṇena; jagāma ramyāṇi tapovanāni/

Having given due consideration to what Devi Sita conveyed, Shri Rama replied as follows: 'Devi!The principles of Dharma that you had analysed were in the interest of my welfare as you sought to draw a fine line between khsatriya dharma and ashrama dhama. As kshatriyas hold the 'dhanush baanaas' they do so to save a being from a danger. Sita! te chaartaa dandakaranye munayah samshitavrataah, maam Site svayamagamya sharanam sharanam gataah/ Dandakaranya Munis who were used to severe tapasyas were assembled and made appeals to me to save them from safety against the attacks of rakshasaas as they face great risks of life! They said that as and when they would get busy with agni karyas, they threaten us to spoil the agni kundaas by maamsa padardhaas. bahuvighnam taponityam duścaram caiva rāghava, tena śāpam na muñcāmo bhakṣyamāṇāś ca rākṣasaiḥ/ tad ardyamānān rakṣobhir daṇḍakāraṇyavāsibhiḥ,rakṣanas tvam saha bhrātrā tvannāthā hi vayam vane/ Many types of 'vighnas' are faced by the Munis. The Maharshis no doubt give 'shaapaas' but at the time could not do so due to self restraint lest spoil our long records of tapasya!mayā caitad vacaḥ śrutvā kārtsnyena paripālanam, rṣīṇām daṇḍakāraṇye samśrutam janakātmaje/ samśrutya ca na śakṣyāmi jīvamānaḥ pratiśravam, munīnām anyathā kartum satyam istam hi me sadā/ apy aham jīvitam jahyām tvām vā sīte salaksmaņām, na tu pratijñām samśrutya brāhmaņebhyo viśeṣataḥ/ Janakanandini! On this hearing the appeals of the dandakaranya maharshis, I had made a 'pratigina' that I should protect them at any cost and having sworn in likewise should deviate from it would not be possible now. Sita! I could sacrifice my life but never the pratigina indeed! This is why Videha nandini! At the same time, I am thankful to your counselling with your affection for me!

Sarga Eleven

Rama Sita Lakshmanas visit Panchapsara Tirtha and Maandikarana ashrama and after visiting other Muni Ashramas too, visit the ashram of the brother of Agastya Maharshi who lauds the glory of Agastya

Agrataḥ prayayau rāmaḥ sītā madhye sumadhyamā, pṛṣṭhatas tu dhanuṣpāṇir lakṣmaṇo 'nujagāma ha/ tau paśyamānau vividhāň śailaprasthān vanāni ca, nadīś ca vividhā ramyā jagmatuḥ saha sītayā/ sārasāmś cakravākāmś ca nadīpulinacāriṇaḥ, sarāmsi ca sapadmāni yutāni jalajaiḥ khagaiḥ/ yūthabaddhāmś ca pṛṣatān madonmattān viṣāṇinaḥ,mahiṣāmś ca varāhāmś ca gajāmś ca drumavairiṇaḥ/ te gatvā dūram adhvānam lambamāne divākare, dadṛśuḥ sahitā ramyam taṭākam yojanāyatam/ padmapuṣkarasambādham gajayūthair alamkṛtam, sārasair hamsakādambaiḥ samkulam jalacāribhiḥ/ prasannasalile ramyatasmin sarasi śuśruve, gītavāditranirghoṣo na tu kaś cana dṛśyate/ tataḥ kautūhalād rāmo lakṣmaṇaś ca mahārathaḥ, munim dharmabhṛtam nāma praṣṭum samupacakrame/ idam atyadbhu - tam śrutvā sarveṣām no mahāmune, kautūhalam mahaj jātam kim idam sādhu kathyatām/ tenaivam ukto dharmātmā rāghaveṇa munis tadā, prabhāvam sarasaḥ kṛtsnam ākhyātum upacakrame/idam pañcāpsaro nāma taṭākam sārvakālikam, nirmitam tapasā rāma muninā māṇḍakarṇinā/ sa hi tepe tapas tīvram

māndakarnir mahāmunih, daśavarsasahasrāni vāyubhakso jalāśraya/ tatah pravyathitāh sarve devāh sāgnipurogamāh, abruvan vacanam sarve paraspara samāgatāh, asmakam kasya cit sthānam esa prārthayate munih/ tatah kartum tapovighnam sarvair devair niyojitāh, pradhānāpsarasah pañcavidyuccalitavarcasaḥ/ apsarobhis tatas tābhir munir dṛṣṭaparāvaraḥ, nīto madanavaśyatvam surānām kārvasiddhave/ tāś caivāpsarasah pañcamuneh patnītvam āgatāh, tatāke nirmitam tāsām asminn antarhitam grham/ tatraivāpsarasah pañcanivasantyo yathāsukham, ramayanti tapoyogān munim yauvanam āsthitam/ tāsām samkrīdamānām eşa vāditranihsvanah, śrūyate bhūşanonmiśro gītaśabdo manoharah/ āścaryam iti tasyaitad vacanam bhāvitātmanah, rāghavah pratijagrāha saha bhrātrā mahāyaśāh/ evam kathayamānasya dadarśāśramamandalam, kuśacīrapariksiptam nānāvrksasamāvrtam/ praviśya saha vaidehyā laksmanena ca rāghavah, tadā tasmin sa kākutsthah śrīmaty āśramamandale/ usitvā susukham tatra pūrjyamāno maharsibhih, jagāma cāśramāms tesām paryāyena tapasvinām/ yesām usitavān pūrvam sakāśe sa mahāstravit,kva cit paridaśān māsān ekam samvatsaram kva cit/ kva cic ca caturo māsān pañcaşaṭ cāparān kva cit, aparatrādhikān māsān adhyardham adhikam kva cit/ trīn māsān aṣṭamāsāms ca rāghavo nyavasat sukham, tathā samvasatas tasya munīnām āsrameṣu vai, ramatas cānukulvena vavuh samvatsarā daśa/ parisrtya ca dharmajño rāghavah saha sītavā, sutīksnasvāśramam śrīmān punar evājagāma ha/ sa tam āśramam āgamya munibhih pratipūjitah, tatrāpi nyavasad rāmah kam cit kālam arimdamaḥ/ athāśramastho vinayāt kadā cit tam mahāmunim, upāsīnaḥ sa kākutsthaḥ sutīksnam idam abravīt/ asminn aranye bhagavann agastyo munisattamah, vasatīti mayā nityam kathāh kathayatām śrutam/ na tu jānāmi tam deśam vanasyāsya mahattayā, kutrāśramapadam punyam maharses tasya dhīmataḥ/ prasādāt tatra bhavataḥ sānujaḥ saha sītayā, agastyam abhigaccheyam abhivādayitum munim/ manoratho mahān eṣa hṛdi samparivartate, yad aham tam munivaram śuśrūseyam api svayam/ iti rāmasya sa munih śrutvā dharmātmano vacah, sutīkṣṇah pratyuvācedam prīto daśarathātmajam/ aham apy etad eva tvām vaktukāmah salaksmanam, agastyam abhigaccheti sītayā saha rāghava/dishtyaa tva dānīm arthe 'smin svayam eva bravīsi mām, aham ākhyāmi te vatsa yatrāgastyo mahāmunih/ yojanāny āśramāt tāta vāhi catvāri vai tatah, daksinena mahāñ śrīmān agastyabhrātur āśramah/ sthalaprāye vanoddeśe pippalīvanaśobhite, bahupuspaphale ramye nānāśakuninādite/ padminyo vividhās tatra prasannasalilāḥ śivāḥ, hamsakāraṇḍavākīrṇāś cakravākopaśobhitāḥ/ tatraikām rajanīm uṣya prabhāte rāma gamyatām, daksinām diśam āsthāya vanakhandasya pārśyatah/ tatrāgastyāśramapadam gatyā vojanam antaram, ramanīve vanoddeše bahupādapa samvrte, ramsvate tatra vaidehī laksmanaš ca tvavā saha/ sa hi ramyo vanoddeśo bahupādapasamkulaḥ, yadi buddhiḥ kṛtā draṣṭum agastyam tam mahāmunim, adyaiva gamane buddhim rocayasva mahāyaśah/iti rāmo muneh śrutvā saha bhrātrābhivādya ca, pratasthe 'gastyam uddiśya sānujaḥ saha sītayā/ paśyan vanāni citrāṇi parvapāṁś cābhrasamnibhān, sarāmsi saritaś caiva pathi mārgavaśānugāh/ sutīksnenopadistena gatvā tena pathā sukham, idam paramasamhrsto vākyam laksmanam abravīt/ etad evāśramapadam nūnam tasya mahātmanah, agastyasya muner bhrātur drśyate punyakarmanah/ yathā hīme vanasyāsya jñātāh pathi sahasraśaḥ, samnatāḥ phalabhareṇa puṣpabhāreṇa ca drumāḥ/ pippalīnām ca pakvānām vanād asmād upāgataḥ, gandho 'yam pavanotkṣiptaḥ sahasā kaṭukodayaḥ/ tatra tatra ca dṛśyante samkṣiptāḥ kāsthasamcavāh, lūnāś ca pathi drśvante darbhā vaidūrvavarcasah/ etac ca vanamadhvastham krsnābhraśikharopamam, pāvakasvāśramasthasva dhūmāgram sampradršvate/viviktesu ca tīrthesu kṛtasnānā dvijātayaḥ, puṣpopahāram kurvanti kusumaiḥ svayam ārjitaiḥ/ tat sutīkṣṇasya vacanam yathā saumya mayā śrutam, agastyasyāśramo bhrātur nūnam esa bhayisyati/ nigrhya tarasā mrtyum lokānām hitakāmyayā, yasya bhrātrā krteyam dik śaranyā punyakarmanā/ ihaikadā kila krūro vātāpir api celvalah, bhrātarau sahitāv āstām brāhmanaghnau mahāsurau/ dhārayan brāhmanam rūpam ilvalah samskrtam vadan, āmantrayati viprān sa śrāddham uddiśya nirghrnah/ bhrātaram samskrtam bhrātā tatas tam meşarūpinam, tān dvijān bhojayām āsa śrāddhadrstena karmanā/ tato bhuktavatām teṣām viprāṇām ilvalo 'bravīt, vātāpe niskramasveti svareṇa mahatā vadan/ tato bhrātur vacaḥ śrutvā vātāpir meşavan nadan, bhittvā bhitvā śarīrāṇi brāhmaṇānām viniṣpatat/ brāhmaṇānām sahasrāṇi tair evam kāmarūpibhih, vināśitāni samhatya nityaśah piśitāśanaih/ agastyena tadā devaih prārthitena maharsinā,anubhūya kila śrāddhe bhaksitah sa mahāsurah/ tatah sampannam ity uktvā dattvā hastāvasecanam, bhrātaram niṣkramasveti ilvalaḥ so 'bhyabhāṣata/ tam tathā bhāṣamāṇam tu bhrātaram vipraghātina, abravīt prahasan dhīmān agastvo munisattamah/ kuto niskramitum śaktir mavā jīrnasva

rakṣasaḥ, bhrātus te meṣa rūpasya gatasya yamasādanam/ atha tasya vacaḥ śrutvā bhrātur nidhanasamśritam, pradharṣayitum ārebhe munim krodhān niśācaraḥ/ so 'bhyadravad dvijendram tam muninā dīptatejasā, cakṣuṣānalakalpena nirdagdho nidhanam gataḥ/ tasyāyam āśramo bhrātus taṭākavanaśobhitaḥ viprānukampayā yena karmedam duṣkaram kṛtam/ evam kathayamānasya tasya saumitrinā saha,

rāmasyāstam gataḥ sūryaḥ samdhyākālo 'bhyavartata/ upāsya paścimām samdhyām saha bhrātrā yathāvidhi, praviveśāśramapadam tam rsim cābhyavādayan/samyak pratigrhītas tu muninā tena rāghavaḥ, nyavasat tām niśām ekām prāśya mūlaphalāni ca/ tasyām rātryām vyatītāyām vimale sūryamandale, bhrātaram tam agastyasya āmantrayata rāghavah/ abhivādaye tvā bhagavan sukham adhyuşito niśām, āmantraye tvām gacchāmi gurum te drastum agrajam/ gamyatām iti tenokto jagāma raghunandanah, yathoddistena mārgena vanam tac cāvalokayan/ nīvārān panasāms tālāms timiśān vañjulān dhavān, ciribilvān madhūkām's ca bilvān api ca tindukān/ puspitān puspitāgrābhir latābhir anuveştitān, dadarśa rāmaḥ śataśas tatra kāntārapādapān/ hastihastair vimṛditān vānarair upaśobhitān, mattaih śakunisamghaiś ca śataśah pratināditān/tato 'bravīt samīpastham rāmo rājīvalocanah, prsthato 'nugatam vīram laksmaņam laksmivardhanam/ snigdhapatrā yathā vṛkṣā yathā kṣāntā mṛgadvijāh, āśramo nātidūrastho maharşer bhāvitātmanaḥ/ agastya iti vikhyāto loke svenaiva karmaṇā, āśramo dṛśyate tasya pariśrānta śramāpahaḥ/ prājyadhūmākulavanaś cīramālāpariṣkṛtaḥ, praśāntamṛgayūthaś ca nānāśakunināditah/ nigrhya tarasā mrtyum lokānām hitakāmyayā, daksinā dik krtā yena śaranyā punyakarmanā/ tasyedam āśramapadam prabhāvād yasya rāksasaih, dig iyam daksinā trāsād drśyate nopabhujyate/ yadā prabhṛti cākrāntā dig iyam puṇyakarmaṇā, tadā prabhṛti nirvairāḥ praśāntā rajanīcarāh/ nāmnā ceyam bhagavato dakṣiṇā dik pradakṣiṇā, prathitā triṣu lokeṣu durdharṣā krūrakarmabhiḥ/ mārgam niroddhum satatam bhāskarasyācalottamaḥ, samdeśam pālayams tasya vindhyaśaulo na vardhate/ ayam dīrghāyusas tasya loke viśrutakarmanah, agastyasyāśramah śrīmān vinītamṛgasevitah/ esa lokārcitah sādhur hite nityam ratah satām, asmān adhigatān esa śreyasā vojayisyati/ ārādhayisyāmy atrāham agastyam tam mahāmunim, śesam ca vanavāsasya saumya vatsyāmy aham prabho/ atra devāh sagandharvāh siddhāś ca paramarsayah, agastyam niyatāhāram satatam paryupāsate/ nātra jīven mṛṣāvādī krūro vā yadi vā śaṭhaḥ, nṛśaṁsaḥ kāmavṛtto vā munir eṣa tathāvidhah/ atra devāś ca yakṣāś ca nāgāś ca patagaiḥ saha, vasanti niyatāhārā dharmam ārādhavisnavah/ atra siddhā mahātmāno vimānaih sūrvasamnibhaih, tvaktvā dehān navair dehaih svaryātāḥ paramarṣayaḥ/ yakṣatvam amaratvam ca rājyāni vividhāni ca, atra devāḥ prayacchanti bhūtair ārādhitāh śubhaih/āgatāh smāśramapadam saumitre praviśāgratah, nivedayeha mām prāptam rsaye saha sītayā/

As Rama Sita Lakhsmanas proceeded as a trio wth Rama Lakshmanas were carrying dhanush banaas in readiness, they were enjoying the prakriti soundarya, and witnessed passing rivulets with chakravaaka and saasaraas birds hovering around to catch sparklingg fishes of varying sizes and colours. As they were proceeding further they heard distant sounds of song and music while crossing a sarovara. As they got inquisitive, they enquired of a Muni named Dharmabhrit who was accompanying them. Then the Muni started describing the sarovara which was named 'Paanchapsara' which was extremely deep was was originally constructed by Markandkarni Maha Muni. The Muni preformed severe tapasya for ten thousand years in the wateres of the 'saras' living by mere consumption of clean air only. Agni and some other Devas and Apsaras assembled and as concerened about the seriousness of the situation named five apsaras to create mental diversion of the Muni in their favour. Then the five apsaras were wedded to the Muni and eversince the latter was turned as the agent of Devas. Also the Muni had turned youtful. The sounds of music and singing were thus traced from the Panchaapsara Sarovara! Ramas were thus surprised at the saovara and subsequently entered the ashram of Dharmabhrit Muni. Later on the three some shifted from one ashram to another likewise. yeṣām uṣitavān pūrvam sakāśe sa mahāstravit,kva cit paridaśān māsān ekam samvatsaram kva cit/ kva cic ca caturo māsān pañcasat cāparān kva cit, aparatrādhikān māsān adhyardham adhikam kva cit/ trīn māsān astamāsāms ca rāghavo nyavasat sukham, tathā samvasatas tasya munīnām āśrameşu vai, ramataś cānukulyena yayuḥ samvatsarā daśa/ Thereafter, Rama Sita Lakshmanas were staying by turns an various Muni Ashramas, some times for ten

months, one year, four months, five to six months, seven months once, eight months, eight and half, three months, eleven months but every where with comfort and mutual convenience. *Tatra samvatsarasyasya muneenaamaashrameshu vai, ramataschaanukuulyena yayuh samvatsaraa dhasha/*Thus by transferring themeselves fron ashram to ashram, Rama Sita Lakshmanaas enjoyed spending in comfort for ten years! Thereafter, they returned back to the ashram of Suteekshna Maha Muni. As the co ashrama vaasis were indeed thrilled at the return of the Ramas right after a decade! One day Rama enquired of Agastya Muni. Suteekshna Muni replied: Agastyaashrma is four yojanas in the southern direction where Agastya's brother stays and another yojana hence is Agastya's ashram.

<u>Vishleshanas on a) Creation of Agasthya and Vasishtha as brothers by MitraVaruna from Urvashi and b)</u>
<u>Agastya Muni dries up the Ocean and enables to destroy the demon Kalakeya- Matsya-Padma Puranas</u>
respectively

Once Indra despatched Vayu and Agni to destroy Danavas and having successfully killed thousands of the enemies, ignored some Daityas like Taraka, Kamalaaksha, Parayasu, Kaladamshtra and Virochana as they fled away and concealed in deep Seas. The Danavas who hid themselves kept on tormenting human beings as also Devatas eventually. Indra ordered that Vayu and Agni should dry up the Sea water, especially to kill dangerous Diatyas like Jambhasura, but the both the Devas argued that in the process of drying up the Seas even in a minor manner there would be serious havoc caused to crores of Jeevas. Indra was annoyed at their argument and cursed them to fall down on Earth from Swarga and both the Devas entered into a 'Jala Kumbha' or Water Pitcher as a single body. Meanwhile, Sages Nara and Narayana were in Tapasya on Gandhamadana Mountain, and Indra was concerned that they might not be a threat to his chair; he despatched a few Apsaras to the Mountain along with Kamadeva but their attempts to tempt the Maharshis failed. As the Apsaras continued to be stationed there, Narayana Rishi created a damsel of exquisite attraction from his thighs and named her Urvasi; he desired that Apsaras should realize that their beauty was nothing compared to whom they could materialise as Urvasi and they could not possibly tempt Nara Narayan Maharshis, after all! Mitra (Sun God) and Varuna (Rain God) happened to see the damsel and could not resist the fall of their combined semen of Mitravaruna which was deposited in the same Jala Kumbha (pitcher) that fell down from the Swarga and thus Agastya was born as Kumbha Sambhava. Vasishtha too was reborn from the pitcher earlier since he felt offended when King Nimi did not properly attend to him as he visited the King and hence gave a curse to Nimi to live as 'Videha'or without body, but the King too gave a return curse; both Nimi and Vasishtha approached Lord Brahma who solved the problem by retaining Nimi's life in his Eyes and Vasishtha to be reborn to Mitravaruna since the latter's semen fell in the pitcher on seeing Apsara Urvashi. Subsequently Agastya married Lopamudra, absorbed the entire Ocean in his Kamandulu to isolate the Danavas to enable Indra to kill the notorious Danavas and released it later as his urine and was thus stated to be salty!; he also razed down the ego of Vindhya Mountain by making him bend for ever thus banning the Mountain to stoop for ever till the Sage's return which never happened as he continued to stay down the Vindhyas. There was also the legend attributed to Agastya about the Daitya brothers Ilvala and Vatapi, who knew the Mrita Sanjeevani Mantra; they would assume the forms of Brahmanas and seek the passers by to tempt them to a feast of goat-meat, and after consuming the meal ask Vatapi to come out and Vapati would come out piercing through the tummy of the stranger and the brothers would enjoy his meat. But Agastya Muni was too clever to bless the good food saying 'Vatapi! Jeerno bhava' and Vatapi was fully digested even before Ilvala was able to recite the Mrita Sanjeevani Mantra! [Till date, devotees recite 'Aditya Hridaya' scripted by Agastya Muni. Vasishtha, the Brahmarshi was the arch-enemy of Rajarshi Viwswamitra ever since the latter claimed Nandini the Celestial Cow and fought a battle in which Viswamitra was defeated. The enmity continued till once both the Rishis cursed each other to become birds and finally Brahma had to intervene and convert them back as human beings]. Agastya Muni satisfied Maheswara with ruthless penance for several years and secured boons of longevity for twenty five crores of years as long as thousand lives of Brahmas. The boon also covered that whosoever worshipped him for seven days for seven years with 'Arghya' or offering water addressing the Muni along with charities of a white cow and

calf, silver vessel, and white clothes as follows would be blessed with good health, good Form, and contentment: Kaashapushpa prateekaasha Agni Maruta Sambhava, Mitraavarunayoha putra kumbhayoney Namostutey/ The first Arghya would provide Good Form, the second one Bhuvarloka and the third Swarloka.(Matsya Purana)

Agastya Muni dries up the Ocean and enables to destroy the demon Kalakeya: In the vicinity of Pushkar Tirtha were 'Ashramas' of illustrious Mararshis like Agastya. A highly vily and valiant Danava named Kalakeya was in battle with Devas for many years and he kept another mighty Danava called Vritrasura as a shield in between him and Devas. With folded hands, Devas approached Brahma to get rid of Vritrasura as well as Kalakeya. Brahma suggested that Vritrasura was invincible due to unprecedented boons given by Parameswara and the only way out was to approach Sage Dadheechi and beg him for his back-bone which could materialize a mighty 'Vajrayudha' which alone could destroy Vritrasura. Devas prayed to Sage Dadheechi and keeping in view the holy task of killing Vritrasura, the Sage agreed to sacrifice his backbone and hence his life. Devas approached Vishvakarma to create Vajrayudha. A fierce battle between Vritrasura backed by Kalakeya on the one hand and Indra armed with Vajrayudha as well as the full force of Devas followed. Vritrasura made such frightening screams that went shivers to Earth, the 'Dishas' (Directions), the Antariksha (Sky) and the Planets. Indra utilised the newly made Vajrayudha and felled down the huge body of Vritrasura to the ground. The demoralised 'Asuras' ran helter-skelter with a phenomenon called Vristrasura and finally took shelter in the deep Ocean. Kalakeya too hid in the Ocean and over a period of time, reformulated the Danavas who resorted to nightwarfare and nocturnal killings of lakhs of human beings in sleep and once again threatened the balance of power between the Davanvas and Devas. Indra and Devas approached Lord Vishnu and implored him to save them, the humanity as also the four kinds of 'Srishti'viz. 'Andajas' or those born of Eggs, 'Svedajas' or those born of body sweat, 'Jarayuja' or those born of womb, and 'Udbhuja' or born of germination. Lord Vishnu told the Devas that the most dangerous Asura Kalakeyi along with his huge numbers of Danavas who concealed themselves in the deep waters of the Ocean were gradually killing all kinds of species mentioned above in the nights and the only way of exposing the Danavas in very large numbers would be to completely dry up the Oceans by taking out the water; Vishnu further declared that the only Sage who was powerful enough to dry up the Oceans was Mahatma Agastya, the son of Mitravaruna. Devas then approached Agastya Muni and prayed to him that in the past too, the Muni was kind enough to have averted crises for saving the very existence of the Universe in highly critical situations like when Nahusha occupied the chair of Indra on highly temporary basis and created embarrassment and havoc in the worlds and punished him subsequently; and when Vindhyachala grew up in height compared with Meru Mountain obstructing the passage of Surya and subdued Vindhya by asking him to bend in reverence and not allowing to stand up till date. Devas made to instant request to Agastya Muni to drink up the water of the Ocean exposing Kalakeya and followers so that they were trapped and destroyed at once by Devas. The dried up Ocean was refilled by another despatch of Ganga by a repeat performance by Bhagiratha. (Padma Purana)]

Stanza53 continued:

Ramas followed the directions to the ashrama of Agastya's brother as provided by Maha Muni Suteekshna *nigṛhya tarasā mṛtyum lokānām hitakāmyayā, yasya bhrātrā kṛteyam dik śaraṇyā puṇyakarmaṇā*/ Agastya's brother desired to execute 'loka kalyana' and found out a way to digest two rakshasas Ilvala and Vatapi the form of Brahmanas and digested them for good as stated in Padma Purana extracts above. Once before, there were two demon brothers named Vatapi and Ilvala frequently killing brahananas. Ilvala speaking in pure sanskrit disguised as a brahmana host was enticing other brahmanas attending pitru shraddhha bhojanas; they used to kill goats for the purpose and cook meat there of and serve; then while eating the food, Ilvaka would shout: 'vaataapi come out and the latter would come out as a wolf and kill the innocent brahmanas. As this practice had been going on, Agastya Maha Muni became a willing bhokta along with his own broher; as the usual shout for vataapi followed:

Agastya replied: kuto niṣkramitum śaktir mayā jīrṇasya rakṣasah, bhrātus te meṣa rūpasya gatasya yamasādanam/ atha tasya vacaḥ śrutvā bhrātur nidhanasamśritam, pradharṣayitum ārebhe munim krodhān niśācaraḥ/ so 'bhyadravad dvijendram tam muninā dīptatejasā, cakṣuṣānalakalpena nirdagdho nidhanam gataḥ/ Your brother Vataapi was already digested by me and he has already reached yamaloka!' When Ilvala sought to attack rhe Maha Muni burnt the demon by yogaagni and this ended the sordid practice for ever and thus the adaje now: 'jeernam jeernam vaataapi jeernanam!' Rama Sita Lakshnanas having prostrated to Agastya Maharshi's brother, were exchanging pleasantries and views vide Stanza 71: upāsya paścimām samdhyām saha bhrātrā yathāvidhi, praviveśāśramapadam tam ṛṣim cābhyavādayan/samyak pratigṛhītas tu muninā tena rāghavaḥ, nyavasat tām niśām ekām prāśya mūlaphalāni ca/ tasyām rātryām vyatītāyām vimale sūryamanḍale, bhrātaram tam agastyasya āmantrayata rāghavaḥ/: After perfoming Sandhya Puja Homas, Ramas performed prostrations and stayed bach for the night at the Agastya brother's ashrama and proceeded further to that of Agastya Maharshi himself.

Sarga Twelve

Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas visit Agastya Maharshi and after welcoming them, Agastya gifts 'diyvaastras'

Sa praviśyāśramapadam lakṣmano rāghavānujaḥ, agastyaśiṣyam āsādya vākyam etad uvāca ha/ rājā daśaratho nāma jyeṣṭhas tasya suto balī, rāmaḥ prāpto munim draṣṭum bhāryayā saha sītayā/ lakṣmaṇo nāma tasyāham bhrātā tv avarajo hitaḥ, anukūlaś ca bhaktaś ca yadi te śrotram āgataḥ/ te vayam vanam atyugram praviştāh pitṛśāsanāt, draṣṭum icchāmahe sarve bhagavantam nivedyatām/ tasya tadvacanam śrutvā laksmanasya tapodhanah, tathety uktvāgniśaranam praviveśa niveditum/ sa praviśya muniśrestham tapasā duspradharsanam, krtāñjalir uvācedam rāmāgamanam añjasā/ putrau daśarathasyemau rāmo lakṣmaṇa eva ca, praviṣṭāv āśramapadaṁ sītayā saha bhāryayā/ draṣṭuṁ bhavantam āyātau śuśrūṣārtham arimdamau, yad atrānantaram tattvam ājñāpayitum arhasi/ tataḥ śisyād upaśrutya prāptam rāmam salaksmanam, vaidehīm ca mahābhāgām idam vacanam abravīt/ distyā rāmas cirasyādya drastum mām samupāgatah, manasā kānksitam hy asya mayāpy āgamanam prati/gamyatām satkrto rāmaḥ sabhāryaḥ sahalakṣmaṇaḥ, praveśyatām samīpam me kim cāsau na praveśitah/ evam uktas tu muninā dharmajñena mahātmanā, abhivādyābravīc chisyas tatheti niyatāñjalih/ tato niskramya sambhrāntah śisyo laksmanam abravīt, kvāsau rāmo munim drastum etu praviśatu svayam/ tato gatvāśramapadam śisyena saha laksmanah, darśayām āsa kākutstham sītām ca janakātmajām/ tam śisyah praśritam vākyam agastyavacanam bruvan, prāveśayad yathānyāyam satkārārtham susatkṛtam/ praviveśa tato rāmaḥ sītayā sahalakṣmaṇaḥ, praśāntahariṇākīrṇam āśramam hy avalokayan/ sa tatra brahmanah sthānam agneh sthānam tathaiva ca, viṣṇoḥ sthānam mahendrasya sthānam caiva vivasvataḥ/ somasthānam bhagasthānam sthānam kauberam eva ca/ dhātur vidhātuḥ sthānam ca vāyoh sthānam tathaiya ca/ tatah śisyaih pariyrto munir apy abhinispatat, tam dadarśāgrato rāmo munīnām dīptatejasam, abravīd vacanam vīro laksmaņam laksmivardhanam/ esa laksmana nişkrāmaty agastyo bhagavān ṛṣiḥ, audāryeṇāvagacchāmi nidhānam tapasām imam/ evam uktvā mahābāhur agastyam sūryavarcasam, jagrāha paramaprītas tasya pādau paramtapah/ abhivādya tu dharmātmā tasthau rāmah kṛtāñjalih, sītayā saha vaidehyā tadā rāma salaksmanah/ pratigṛhya ca kākutstham arcayitvāsanodakaih, kuśalapraśnam uktvā ca āsyatām iti so 'bravīt/ agnim hutvā pradāyārghyam atithim pratipūjya ca, vānaprasthena dharmena sa teṣām bhojanam dadau/ prathamam copaviśyātha dharmajño munipumgavah, uvāca rāmam āsīnam prāñjalim dharmakovidam/ anyathā khalu kākutstha tapasvī samudācaran, duhsākṣīva pare loke svāni māmsāni bhakṣayet/ rājā sarvasya lokasya dharmacārī mahārathaḥ, pūjanīyaś ca mānyaś ca bhavān prāptaḥ priyātithiḥ/ evam uktvā phalair mūlaih puspais cānyais ca rāghavam, pūjayitvā yathākāmam punar eva tato 'bravīt/ idam divyam mahac cāpam hemavajravibhūsitam, vaisnavam purusavyāghra nirmitam viśvakarmanā/amoghah sūryasamkāśo brahmadattaḥ śarottamaḥ, datto mama mahendreṇa tūṇī cākṣayasāyakau/ sampūrṇau niśitair bāṇair įvaladbhir iva pāvakaiḥ, mahārājata kośo 'yam asir hemavibhūṣitaḥ/ anena dhanuṣā rāma hatvā samkhye mahāsurān, ājahāra śriyam dīptām purā viṣṇur divaukasām/ tad dhanus tau ca tūṇīrau śaram khaḍgam ca mānada, jayāya pratigrhṇīṣva vajram vajradharo yathā/ evam uktvā mahātejāḥ samastam tad varāyudham, dattvā rāmāya bhagavān agastyaḥ punar abravīt/

Lakshmana sent message to Agasthya Muni that king Dasharatha's son Shri Rama and his wife would like to meet the Maha Muni and the message was being sent by Lakshmana the younger brother of Rama. They were instructed by the father to spend Aranya vaasa. Then the message was delivered to the Muni who responded positively. They entered the ashram and witnessed groups of harinis, agni and Brahma sthaanaas, bessides the idols of Vishnu-Mahendra-Surya-Chandra-Bhaga-Kubera-Dhata- Vidhata-Vayu Deva, Paashadhari Varuna-Gayatri-Vasu-Naga Raja Ananta-Garuda-Kartikeya-and Dharma Raja. Then Agastya came out and Ramas instantly touched his feet. The Muni took Rama into his embrace and offered paadya- argha-aaseenaas and enquired of their welfare. There after bhojanas were got readied for service too; Agasthya then said: Kakutsthya! The vanaprastha vidhi is to perform 'aahuti' to Agni foremost, then arghya-and atithi puja! Any taapasi who performs contrarily would be like a liar of rendering truthful evidences and in the stage of post death would be liable to consume one's own flesh!Agastya Muni stated: rājā sarvasya lokasya dharmacārī mahārathaḥ, pūjanīyaś ca mānyaś ca bhavān prāptaḥ priyātithiḥ/ Rama! You are a king, maharathi, dharmaacharana karta being responsibe to the praja for enforcing the high values of virtue. Then food was served by way of phala-moola-phuala and paniyas. There after the bhojana, Maha Muni Agastya stated as follows: idam divyam mahac cāpam hemavajravibhūşitam, vaisnavam puruşavyāghra nirmitam viśvakarmanā/ amoghah sūryasamkāśo brahmadattaḥ śarottamaḥ, datto mama mahendreṇa tūṇī cākṣayasāyakau/ sampūrṇau niśitair bāṇair jvaladbhir iva pāvakaiḥ, mahārājata kośo 'yam asir hemavibhūṣitaḥ/Purusha simha!I am now offering you this 'dhanush' which Vishvakarma of Devas himself had constructed; in this dhanush, gold and diamonds were embedded; this was originally awarded to Maha Vishnu and is of like of the original radiance of Surya Deva, and was gifted by Brahma Deva! Further, Indra Deva had bestowed the 'tuuneera' to me for award to you Veera! as that yields 'akshaya baanaas'! Shri Rama! In the past, Maha Vishnu utilised this dhanush and destroyed most wicked 'maayaavi asuras'! So emphasizing about the magnificance of this set of 'dhanush banaas', Maha Muni Agastya blessed Rama.

Sarga Thirteen

Maharshi Agastya complements Devi Sita as a 'pativrata' and directs Rama Lakshmanas to construct Panchavati Ashram

Rāma prīto 'smi bhadram te paritusto 'smi laksmana, abhivādayitum yan mām prāptau sthah saha sītayā/ adhvaśramena vām khedo bādhate pracuraśramah, vyaktam utkanthate cāpi maithilī janakātmajā/ eṣā hi sukumārī ca duḥkhaiś ca na vimānitā, prājyadoṣam vanam praptā bhartṛsnehapracoditā/ yathaiṣā ramate rāma iha sītā tathā kuru, duskaram krtavaty esā vane tvām anugacchatī/ esā hi prakrtih strīnām āsrste raghunandana, samastham anurajyante visamastham tvajanti ca/śatahradānām lolatvam śastrāṇām tīkṣṇatām tathā, garuḍānilayoḥ śaighryam anugacchanti yoṣitaḥ/ iyam tu bhavato bhāryā dosair etair vivarjitāh, ślāghyā ca vyapadeśyā ca yathā devī hy arundhatī/ alamkṛto 'yam deśaś ca yatra saumitrinā saha, vaidehyā cānayā rāma vatsyasi tvam arimdama/ evam uktas tu muninā rāghavah samyatāñjalih, uvāca praśritam vākyam rsim dīptam ivānalam/ dhanyo 'smy anugrhīto 'smi yasya me munipumgavaḥ, guṇaiḥ sabhrātrbhāryasya varadaḥ paritusyati/ kim tu vyādiśa me deśam sodakam bahukānanam, yatrāśramapadam krtvā vaseyam niratah sukham/ tato 'bravīn muni śresthah śrutvā rāmasya bhāṣitam, dhyātvā muhūrtam dharmātmā dhīro dhīrataram vacah/ ito dviyojane tāta bahumūlaphalodakah,deśo bahumṛgaḥ śrīmān pañcavaṭy abhiviśrutaḥ/ tatra gatvāśramapadam kṛtvā saumitrinā saha, ramasva tvam pitur vākyam yathoktam anupālayan/vidito hy esa vṛttānto mama sarvas tavānagha, tapasaś ca prabhāvena snehād daśarathasya ca/hrdavasthaś ca te chando vijñātas tapasā mayā, iha vāsam pratijnāya mayā saha tapovane/ ataś ca tvām aham brūmi gaccha pancavatīm iti, sa hi ramyo vanoddeśo maithilī tatra ramsyate/ sa deśah ślāghanīyaś ca nātidūre ca rāghaya, godāyaryāh

samīpe ca maithilī tatra ramsyate/ prājyamūlaphalaiś caiva nānādvija gaṇair yutaḥ, viviktaś ca mahābāho puṇyo ramyas tathaiva ca/ bhavān api sadāraś ca śaktaś ca parirakṣaṇe, api cātra vasan rāmas tāpasān pālayiṣyasi/ etad ālakṣyate vīra madhukānām mahad vanam, uttareṇāsya gantavyam nyagrodham abhigacchatā/ tataḥ sthalam upāruhya parvatasyāvidūrataḥ, khyātaḥ pañcavaṭīty eva nityapuṣpitakānanaḥ/ agastyenaivam uktas tu rāmaḥ saumitriṇā saha, sātkṛtyāmantrayām āsa tam ṛṣim satyavādinam/ tau tu tenābhyanujñātau kṛtapādābhivandanau, tadāśramāt pañcavaṭīm jagmatuḥ saha sītayā/ gṛhītacāpau tu narādhipātmajau; viṣaktatūṇī samareṣv akātarau, yathopadiṣṭena pathā maharṣiṇā; prajagmatuḥ pañcavaṭīm samāhitau/

Rama! I am very happy you have arrived here! Lakshmana! You too! Devi Sita! My special thanks by your arrival here. Devi Sita must be quite tired; you must have faced countless hardships! eṣā hi sukumārī ca duḥkhaiś ca na vimānitā, prājyadoṣaṁ vanaṁ praptā bhartṛṣnehapracoditā/ Raghunandana! From the times from universal creation, 'stree svabhaava' or feminine psychology has been proactive when her husband were to be rich- healthy-happy, woman too would share the happiness and fulfillment; but other wise as a pauper, sickly, unfortunate, then she develops aversion and discontentment leading to desertions too. śatahradānāṁ lolatvaṁ śastrāṇāṁ tīkṣṇatāṁ tathā, garuḍānilayoḥ śaighryam anugacchanti yoṣitaḥ/ iyaṁ tu bhavato bhāryā doṣair etair vivarjitāḥ, ślāghyā ca vyapadeśyā ca yathā devī hy arundhatī/ Women as a class by themselves, are fickle minded, sharp like a knife, and fast in conclusions like wind and high flying kites! But, Rama! Your dharma patni is blemishless, memorable, and among the top few pativratas like Devi Arundhati!

[Vishleshana on Arundhati:

As per the Bhagavata Purana, Arundhati is the eighth among the nine daughters of Kardama and Devahuti. She is the grandmother of Parashara and the great-grandmother of Vyasa. Shiva Purana describes her as being Sandhya, the mind-born daughter of Brahma, in a previous birth. On instruction of Vashista, Sandhya pleased Shiva by penance in order to purify herself from passion, and Shiva asked her to jump into Medhatithi's fire. She was then born as Medhatithi's daughter and married Vashista. The Mahabharata describes Arundhati as an ascetic who used to give discourses to even the Sapta Rishis.In one of the rituals of a Hindu weddings , the groom shows the bride the double stars of Vashista and Arundhati as an ideal couple, symbolic of marital fulfilment and loyalty. The couples are asked to look up the constellation symbolizing conjugal love and affection.]

Stanza 9 continued: As Agastya Maha Muni thus complimented the guests, Rama replied politely: We are extremely fortunate to have been blessed even by way of receiving compliments for which we are ever grateful. Yet, do kindly suggest a place with plentiful water flows where we might stay with contentment. Then the Maha Muni pondered a while and replied that from here a couple of yojanas, Panchavati should be the most ideal place where you could be contented and you may visit that place and set up an ashram with the help of Lakshmana. Rama! I have had visuailized the entire proceedings of the causes for your vana vaasa and the passive involvement of King Dasharatha; I have also understood the context of why you are desirous of settling down at a place - (apparently in view of Rama's pratigina to clean up the muni ashramas of the menace of rakshasaas); this is reason why Panchavati should be preferable. Rama! Pachavati is also green with flowers-roots-fruits and is pictureresque and Devi Sita should be happy there at its scenic grandeur! Maha baaho Rama! Besides being replete with fruits and flowers, the place is tranquil, pure and quiet. Shri Rama! You are indeed famed for saving sadaachaaris and Rishis besides being brave and heroic. As Agastya Muni had highly recommended Panchavati, Rama Sita Lakshmanas initiated their onward movement by picking of the dhanush baanaas and the personal belongings.

Sarga Fourteen

On the way to Panchavati, Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas meet the Great Grudhra Raja Jatayu who vividly explains the family background of Jatayu

Atha pañcavaṭīm gacchann antarā raghunandanah, āsasāda mahākāyam gṛdhram bhīmaparākramam/ tam drstvā tau mahābhāgau vanastham rāmalaksmanau, menāte rāksasam paksim bruvānau ko bhavān iti/ sa tau madhurayā vācā saumyayā prīṇayann iva, uvāca vatsa mām viddhi vayasyam pitur ātmanah/ sa tam pitṛsakham buddhvā pūjayām āsa rāghavaḥ, sa tasya kulam avyagram atha papraccha nāma ca/ rāmasya vacanam śrutvā kulam ātmānam eva ca, ācacakse dvijas tasmai sarvabhūtasamudbhavam/ pūrvakāle mahābāho ye prajāpatayo 'bhavan, tān me nigadatah sarvān āditah śrņu rāghava/ kardamah prathamas tesām vikrtas tadanantaram, śesaś ca samśrayaś caiva bahuputraś ca vīryavān/ sthānur marīcir atriś ca kratuś caiva mahābalah, pulastyaś cāṅgirāś caiva pracetāh pulahas tathā/ dakso vivasvān aparo 'ristanemiś ca rāghava, kaśyapaś ca mahātejās tesām āsīc ca paścimah/ prajāpates tu dakşasya babhūvur iti nah śrutam, şaşţir duhitaro rāma yaśasvinyo mahāyaśah/ kaśyapah pratijagrāha tāsām astau sumadhyamāh, aditim ca ditim caiva danūm api ca kālakām/ tāmrām krodhavaśām caiva manum cāpy analām api, tās tu kanyās tataḥ prītaḥ kaśyapaḥ punar abravīt/ putrāms trailokyabhartīn vai janayişyatha mat samān, aditis tan manā rāma ditis ca danur eva ca/ kālakā ca mahābāho sesās tv amanaso 'bhavan, adityām jajñire devās trayastrimsad arimdama/ ādityā vasavo rudrā asvinau ca paramtapa, ditis tv ajanayat putrān daityāms tāta yaśasvinah/tesām iyam vasumatī purāsīt savanārnavā, danus tv ajanayat putram aśvagrīvam arimdama/ narakam kālakam caiva kālakāpi vyajāyata, krauñcīm bhāsīm tathā syenīm dhṛtarāstrīm tathā sukīm/ tāmrāpi susuve kanyāh pañcaitā lokavisrutāh, ulūkāñ janayat krauñcī bhāsī bhāsān vyajāyata/ śyenī śyenām's ca grdhrām's ca vyajāyata sutejasaḥ, dhṛtarāṣṭrī tu hamsāms ca kalahamsāms ca sarvasah/ cakravākāms ca bhadram te vijajne sāpi bhāminī, sukī natām vijajñe tu natāyā vinatā sutā/ daśakrodhavaśā rāma vijajñe 'py ātmasambhavāḥ, mṛgīm ca mṛgamandām ca harīm bhadramadām api/ mātangīm atha śārdūlīm śvetām ca surabhīm tathā.sarvalaksanasampannām surasām kadrukām api/ apatyam tu mṛgāh sarve mṛgyā naravarottama, ṛskāś ca mṛgamandāyāh sṛmarāś camarās tathā/ tatas tv irāvatīm nāma jajñe bhadramadā sutām, tasvās tv airāvatah putro lokanātho mahāgajaļ/ haryāś ca harayo 'patyam vānarāś ca tapasvinaļ, golāngūlāms ca sārdūlī vyāghrāms cājanavat sutān/mātaṅgyās tv atha mātaṅgā apatyaṁ manujarsabha, diśāgajaṁ tu śvetāksaṁ śvetā vyajanayat sutam/ tato duhitarau rāma surabhir devy ajāvata, rohinīm nāma bhadram te gandharvīm ca yaśasvinīm/ rohiny ajanayad gā vai gandharvī vājinaḥ sutān, surasājanayan nāgān rāma kadrūś ca pannagān/ manur manusyāñ janayat kaśyapasya mahātmanah, brāhmanān ksatriyān vaiśyāñ śūdrāmś ca manujarsabha/ mukhato brāhmanā jātā urasah ksatriyās tathā, ūrubhyām jajñire vaiśyāh padbhyām śūdrā iti śrutih/ sarvān punyaphalān vrksān analāpi vyajāyata, vinatā ca śukī pautrī kadrūś ca surasā svasā/ kadrūr nāgasahaskram tu vijajñe dharanīdharam, dvau putrau vinatāyās tu garudo 'runa eva ca/ tasmāj jāto 'ham aruņāt sampātis' ca mamāgrajah, jatāyur iti mām viddhi syenīputram arimdama/ so 'ham vāsasahāyas te bhavisyāmi yadīcchasi, sītām ca tāta rakṣiṣye tvayi yāte salakṣmane/ jaṭāyuṣam tu pratipūjya rāghavo; mudā parisvajya ca samnato 'bhavat; pitur hi śuśrāva sakhitvam ātmavāñ; jaṭāyuṣā samkathitam punah punah/ sa tatra sītām paridāya maithilīm; sahaiva tenātibalena pakṣiṇā, jagāma tām pañcavaţīm salakşmano; ripūn didhakṣañ śalabhān ivānalah/

On way to Panchavati, Rama Sita Lakshmanas encountered a huge kite on the way and Rama Lakshmanas enquirerd as to who was it, presuming that it should be a rakshasa! The reply was casual stating that it might be a friend: 'Sons! I could be a friend of your father!'Then the bird stated further that his name was 'Jataayu' and commenced reeling out the Prajapati's names: Kardama-Vikrita-Shesha-Shamshraya-Bahu putra. The next in the generation were Sthaanu-the seventh one was Mareechi-Atri-Maha shakti shaali Kratu-the tenth one was Pulsatya-Angeera-Pracheta (Varuna)-and the thirteen Prajapati Pulaha. The fourteenth Prajapati was Daksha-then Vivasvaan-Arishtanemi-and the last Prajapati was the seventeenth was Kashyapa. Kashyapa Prajapati had eight wives [thirteen as mentioned on Puranas] and these were Aditi gave birth to Twelve Adityas-Twelve Vasus-Eleven Rudras and Two Ashvini Kumars, besides thirty three Devatas. Diti gave birth to Daityas and the controlled aranyas-samudras and the entire Earth! Danu gave birth to

Ashvagreeva while Kaalka Devi to two sons viz. Naraka and Kaalaka. Devi Tamra gave birth to five kanyas viz. Krounchi-Bhaasi-Shyeni- Dhritaraashtri and Shuki. Of these, Krounchi gave birth to owls-Bhaasi gave birth to Bhaasi birds-Shyeni to bat birds- and Dhritaraashtra to hamsaas and kala hamsaas or swans. Chakravaakamscha Bhadram te vijagjne saapi Bhaamini, Shukee nataam vigagjne tu Nataayaam Vinataa sutaa/ Shri Rama! Bhamini Dhritaraashta also yielded chakrayaka birds while Tamara's youngest daughter Shukee was born kanya named Nataa and the latter was born Devi Vinata. Then Devi Krodhavasha gave birth to ten kanyas viz. Mrigi-Mrigamanda-Hari-Bhadramada-Maatangi-Shardooli-Shweta-Surabhi-Surasa and Kadruka. Shri Rama!Mrigi's progeny are Mrigas and Mrigamanda's generation were Riksha-Srumara and Chamara. Bhadramada gave birth to Iravati and the latter son was the famed Iraavata Gaja Raja. Then Hari's santaana were Hari the Lion-Tapasvi- and Golaangula or Langoor. Further Krodhavasha's daughter was Shardulini and the latter's son was Vyaghra. Maatangi's progeny was Matanga or elephant while Shveta gace birth to Diggaja. Krodhavasha's daughter Surabhi gave birth to daughters Rohini and Gandharvi. Rohini gave birth to Gaavo or cows and Gandharvini to horses. Surasa's children are Nagaas while Kadru's were Pannagaas. Now Manu yet another wife of Kashyapa were chaturvarna maanavaas of Brahmana-Kshatriya-Vaishya and the Lower class. *mukhato* brāhmaṇā jātā urasaḥ kṣatriyās tathā, ūrubhyām jajñire vaiśyāḥ padbhyām śūdrā iti śrutiḥ/ From the face were born brahmanas- the heart the kshatriyas- both the thighs the vaishyas and fron the thighs the lower class. Anala gave birth to trees- Taamra putri viz Shukhi and the latter's grand daughter was Vinata and Kadru was Surasa's sister. Kadru produced thousand types of 'naagaas' and Vinata created two famed sons Garuda and Aruna. tasmāj jāto 'ham arunāt sampātis' ca mamāgrajah, jaṭāyur iti mām viddhi śyenīputram arimdama/ so 'ham vāsasahāyas te bhaviṣyāmi yadīcchasi, sītām ca tāta rakṣiṣye tvayi yāte salakṣmaṇe/ jaṭāyuṣaṁ tu pratipūjya rāghavo; mudā pariṣvajya ca saṁnato 'bhavat; pitur hi śuśrāva sakhitvam ātmavāñ; jaṭāyuṣā samkathitam punaḥ punaḥ/ Raghuveera! From that Vinataanandana Aruna, I was born and so did my elder brother Sampaati and in short my name is Jataayu! I am the son of Shyenka. May I be of any help in creating an ashram for you or to protect Devi Sita in the absence of you and Lakshmana!' So saying Jatayu offered any kind of service to Ramas wholeheartedly.

[Vishleshana on Daksha Prajapati and Kashyapa from Puranas

- a) Daksha Prajapati had the key role in the legend of Chandra Deva. Daksha and Devi Asikli had thousands of sons who were named the Shavalashvas and Haryashvas. While Shavalashvas also went off to explore Paramatma 'in cognito' never to return, Daksha and Asikli were distressed that Haryasvas were instigated by Sage Narada to disappear and proposed to kill him but for the intervention of Lord Brahma. Daksha offered prayers to Paramatma to purify his thoughts at a place known as 'Aghamarshana' near a mountain in Vindhya Range. The latter was pleased and instructed to lead a family life and carry on his normal duties. Accordingly, Daksha married Prajapati Panchajana's daughter 'Aksini' and begot ten thousand sons. As instructed by their father Daksha, the sons decided to perform austerities to beget children and reached a place named Narayanasaras, where River Sindhu joins the Sea. Sage Narada appeared there and mind-washed them about the futility of begetting progeny and getting involved with family lives and the perennial problems; he advised that the real purpose of a useful life would be to follow the path of God-consciousness instead. Narada gave the Theory of Creation and Destruction- the chain of births and deaths, and the futility of pursuing such a life. The mind-setting of Narada was so convincing that they followed the short-cut spiritual way rather than the circuitous and too familiar family route to God. Being furious at what had been done by Narada to his sons, Daksha cursed Narada that henceforth the latter would be a globe trotter and would never be settled and static, much less as a family person. Narada in turn could have given a curse to Daksha but restrained in the interest of the next generation to observe the Grihasti's life's route to salvation. (Maha Bhagavata)
- b) Daksha couple gave birth to sixty eight, ten of whom were married to the Dharma Deva and thirteen Kashyapa Maharshi, twenty-seven daughters were married to Soma or Chandra. The remaining daughters were married to the Arishtanemi, Vahuputra, Angirasa and Krishashva Maharshis. The ten daughters who

were married to the Dharma Deva were named Arundhati, Vasu, Yami, Lamba, Bhanu, Marutvati, Sankalpa, Muhurta. Sadhya and Vishva. Arundhati's children were the material objects of the world. Vasu's children were the eight gods known as the Vasus. Their names were Apa, Dhruva, Soma, Dhara, Salila, Anala, Pratyusha and Prabhasa. Anala's son was Kumara. Because Kumara was brought up by goddesses known as the Krittikas, he came to be called Kartikeva. Prabhasa's son was Vishvakarma. Vishvakarma was skilled in architecture and the making of jewelry. He became the architect of the gods.Sadhya's children were the gods known as Sadhyadevas and Vishya's children were the gods known as Vishvadervas. The twenty-seven daughters of Daksha who were married to Soma are known as the nakshatras (stars). Kashyapa married thirteen of Daksha's daughters. Their names were Aditi, Diti, Danu, Arishta, Surasa, Khasa, Surabhi, Vinata, Tamra, Krodhavasha, Ila, Kadru and Muni. Aditi's sons were the twelve gods known as the adityas. Their names were Vishnu, Shakra. Aryama, Dhata, Vidhata, Tvashta, Pusha, Vivasyana, Savita, MitraVaruna, Amsha and Bhaga.Diti's sons were the daityas (demons). They were named Hiranyaksha and Hiranyakashipu, and amongst their descendants were several other powerful daityas liked Bali and Banasura. Diti also had a daughter named Simhika who was married to a danava named Viprachitti. Their offspring's were terrible demons like Vatapi, Namuchi, Ilvala, Maricha and the Nivatakavachas. The hundred sons of Danu came to be known as danavas. The danavas were thus cousins to the daityas and also to the adityas. In the danaya line were born demons like the Poulamas and Kalakeyas. Arishta's sons were the Gandharvas (singers of heaven). Surasa gave birth to sarpas, the snakes. Khasa's children were the Yakshas (demi-gods who were the companions of Kubera, the god of Wealth) and the Rakshasas. Surabhi's descendants were cows and buffaloes. Vinata had two sons named Aruna and Garuda. Garuda became the king of the birds. Tamra has six daughters. From these daughters were born owls, eagles, vultures, crows, water-fowl, horses, camels and donkeys. Krodhavasha had fourteen thousand children known as nagas (snakes). Ila gave birth to trees, creepers, shrubs and bushes. Kadru's sons were also known as nagas or snakes. Among the more important of Kadru's sons were Ananta, Vasuki, Takshaka and Nahusha. Muni gave birth to the Apsaras (dancers of heaven). Diti's children (daityas) and Aditi's children (Adityas) continually fought amongst themselves. On one particular occasion, Devas succeeded in killing many of the demons. Thirsting for revenge, Diti began to pray to her husband, Kashyapa that she be given birth to a son who would kill Indra, the king of the Devas. Kashyapa found it difficult to refuse his wife outright but gave a condition that she would have to bear the son in your womb for a hundred years. Diti resolved to do so but Indra came to know about Diti's resolve and was waiting for an opportunity to save himself. There was an occasion when, tired after her prayers. Diti went to sleep without first washing her feet. This was an unclean act and it gave Indra the required opportunity. He adopted a miniscule form and entered Diti's womb. With his weapon vajra, he sliced up the baby inside the womb into seven parts. The baby naturally began to cry at the pain. Indra kept on saying, 'ma ruda' that is, 'don't cry.' But the baby, or rather its seven parts, would not listen. Indra thereupon sliced up each of the seven parts into seven more sections, so that there were forty-nine sections in all. When these forty-nine sections were born, they came to be known as the Maruts, from the words - ma ruda- that Indra had addressed them. Since Diti had not been able to adhere to the conditions her husband had set, the Maruts did not kill Indra. They instead became Indra's followers or companions, and were treated as Devas. (Brahma Purana).

c) Daksha and his wife Prasuti had 24 daughters. The names of these 24 daughters are Sraddha (faith), Srilakshmi (prosperity), Dhriti (steadiness), Tushti (resignation), Pushti (thriving), Medha (intelligence), Kriya (action, devotion), Buddhika (intellect), Lajja (modesty), Vapu (body), Santi (expiation), Siddhika (perfection), Kirtti (fame), Khyati (celebrity), Sati (truth), Sambhuti (fitness), Smriti (memory), Priti (affection), Kshama (forgiveness), Sannati (humility), Anasuya (without jealousy), Urjja (energy), Swaha (offering), and Swadha (oblation). Of these, the 13 married to Dharma are: Shraddha, Srilakshmi, Dhriti, Tushti, Pushti, Medha, Kriya, Buddhi, Lajja, Vapu, Santi, Siddhi, Kirtti. The other eleven are Khyati married to Bhrigu, Sati to Shiva, Sambhuti to Marichi, Smriti to Angiras, Priti to Pulastya, Kshama to

Pulaha, Sannati to Kratu, Anasuya to Atri, Urjja to Vasishtha, Swaha to Agni, and Swadha to Pitris. (Vishnu Purana and Padma Purana)]

Sarga Fifteen

The compact and vastu based 'Panchavati Parnashaala' of Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas reside comfortably

Tataḥ pañcavaṭīm gatvā nānāvyālamṛgāyutām, uvāca bhrātaram rāmo lakṣmaṇam dīptatejasam/āgatāḥ sma yathoddistam amum deśam maharsinā, ayam pañcayatī deśah saumya puspitakānanah/ sarvataś cārvatām drstih kānane nipuno hv asi, āśramah katarasmin no deśe bhavati sammatah/ ramate vatra vaidehī tvam aham caiva laksmaņa, tādrso drsyatām desah samnikrstajalāsayah vanarāmaņyakam yatra jalarāmaņyakam tathā, samnikrstam ca yatra syāt samitpuspakuśodakam/ evam uktas tu rāmeņa lakmanah samyatāñjalih, sītā samaksam kākutstham idam vacanam abravīt/ paravān asmi kākutstha tvayi varşaśatam sthite, svayam tu rucire deśe kriyatām iti mām vada/ suprītas tena vākyena lakṣmaṇasya mahādyutih, vimṛśan rocayām āsa deśam sarvagunānvitam/ sa tam ruciram ākramya deśam āśramakarmani, haste grhītvā hastena rāmah saumitrim abravīt avam dešah samah śrīmān puspitair tarubhir vrtah, ihāśramapadam saumya yathāvat kartum arhasi/ iyam ādityasamkāśaih padmaih surabhigandhibhih, adūre dṛśyate ramyā padminī padmaśobhitā/ yathākhyātam agastyena muninā bhāvitātmanā, iyam godāvarī ramvā puspitais tarubhir vrtā/ hamsakārandavākīrnā cakravākopaśobhitā nātidūre na cāsanne mrgavūthanipīditā, mavūranāditā ramvāh prāmsavo bahukandarāh/ drsvante girayah saumya phullais tarubhir āvṛtāh/ sauvarne rājatais tāmrair deśe deśe ca dhātubhih, gavāksitā ivābhānti gajāḥ paramabhaktibhiḥ/ sālais tālais tamālaiś ca kharjūraiḥ panasāmrakaiḥ, nīvārais timiśaiś caiva pumnāgais copasobhitāh/ cūtair asokais tilakais campakaih ketakair api, puspagulmalatopetais tais tais tarubhir āvṛtāh/ candanaih syandanair nīpaih panasair lakucair api, dhavāśvakarnakhadiraih śamīkimśukapāṭalaiḥ/idam punyam idam medhyam idam bahumṛgadvijam, iha vatsyāma saumitre sārdham etena paksinā/ evam uktas tu rāmena laksmanah paravīrahā, acirenāśramam bhrātuś cakāra sumahābalaḥ/parṇaśālām suvipulām tatra samghātamṛttikām, sustambhām maskarair dīrghaiḥ kṛtavaṁśāṁ suśobhanām/ sa gatvā lakṣmaṇaḥ śrīmān nadīṁ godāvarīṁ tadā, snātvā padmāni cādāya saphalaḥ punar āgataḥ/Tatah pushpabalim kritvaa shantimcha yathaavidhi, darshayaamaasa raamaaya tadaashramapadamkritam/ susamhrstah parisvajya bāhubhyām laksmanam tadā, atisnigdham ca gādham ca vacanam cedam abravīt/ prīto 'smi te mahat karma tvayā kṛtam idam prabho pradeyo yannimittam te parişvango mayā kṛtaḥ/ bhāvajñena kṛtajñena dharmajñena ca lakṣmaṇa, tvayā putreṇa dharmātmā na samvṛttah pitā mama/ evam lakṣmaṇam uktvā tu rāghavo lakṣmivardhanah, tasmin deśe bahuphale nvavasat sa sukham vaśī/ kam cit kālam sa dharmātmā sītayā laksmanena ca, anvāsyamāno nvavasat svargaloke yathāmaraḥ/

Braving the further path en route Panchavati as suggested by Maha Muni Agastya infested with poisonous serpents, himsaatmaka animals, Shri Rama addressed Lakshmana stating that they had since reached Panchavati and they might better select a place for building a suitabe place for improvising a 'kuteera' or a cottage. Lakshmana politely stated that Rama and Sita alone would have to select a place with scenic beauty, near by a jalaashaya, replete with kanda moola pushpaas and most essentially as per Devi Sita's own selection. More over Maha Muni emphasised the nearness of the Sacred River Godavari especially where groups of Royal Swans flutter on the banks, enhancing the tranquility of the srrroundings. Added there to the enchanting dances of peacocks, even busy pairs of green parrot chirruppings, and laced up banks of deer groups be there to add to the memories of the dwellers! Further trees of elegance like saalataala-kharjuura-panasa-neevara-punnaga-mano-ashoka-tilaka-ketai-champaka-syandana-chandana-kadamba-dhava- ashvakarna-shamip-palaasha-paatala and so on. As Shri Rama directed, Lakshmana gor a parna shaala readied. Foremost, he made a parnashala with earth and rocks and a strong ceiling was made with shami tree branches overwhich kusha-kaasha-parva- river bank plant dried leaves were arranged as rain proof; in all the parna shala was clean, neat and worthy of comfortable living.It was right

on River Godavari river banks being breezy, cool and worthy of bathing with steps done up. Tatah pushpabalim krityaa shantimcha yathaavidhi, darshayaamaasa raamaaya tadaashramapadamkritam/It was constructed as per 'vaastu shastra' and was entered as per 'vaastu shanti': [Vishlesana in Vaastu shaanti: VAASTU YAGNA comprises: Sutrapath, Stambhaaropana or hoisting of the main Pillar, Dwara vamshocchraya, Griha Pravesha and Vaastu Shanti. Sutrapath takes place in the Ishana Disha and Stambhaaropana in Agneya kona. Vaastu Deva's 'Pada Chinhas' or foot prints should be set up and the 'Karta'should do 'pradakshinas' (circumambulation) around the foot-prints. It is stated that water with the powder of Munga, Ratna and Suvarna should be sprinkled while designing the 'Pada-Chihnaas'. Incidentally, the signs of Vaastu should never be ash, lit up firesticks, nails, skins, horns, bones, and skull as some ill-informed persons tend to do so and such material would lead to distress, danger and difficulties. It is advisable that masons and other workers are present at the time of Griha Prayesh. Ishaaney Devataagaaram tathaa Shaanti gruham bhayet, Mahaanasam thathaagneye tatpaarswam chottarey jalam, Gruhasyopakaram sarvam Nairutye Sthaapaded Buddhah/ Bandhasthaanam bahih kuryaat snaana mandapameyyacha, Dhana Dhaanyam cha Vaayayye karmashaalaam tato bahih, Evam Vaastu viseshah syaad Ghruha bhatruh shubaavaham/ (To the Ishaana side of any house, the Devataagruha and Shantigriha must be set up; its kitchen must be in the Agneya kona; to the northern side the 'Jala sthaan' (Water reservoir); all the house materials be kept in the Nairuti kona; the place for keeping domestic animals like cows and buffalos as well as bathing rooms are better constructed outside the house; the storage place for Dhana-dhanya should be kept in the Vayavya kona; the 'Karya shala' or the Offices should be organised outside the residential place. This pattern of living would certainly assure excellent propitiousness and happiness to the entire family. At the 'Griha Pravesh' function (House Warming Time) approaches, Peace and Prosperity is ushered in as stated: Krutwaagrato Dwijavaraanatha Purnakumbham Dhadyakshataamala pushpa phalopa shobham/ Datwaa hiranyayasanaani tadaa Dwijebhyo, Maangalya Shaanti nilayaya gruham vishekthu/ Gruhoktahoma vidhaanaa Bali karma kuryat, Praasaada Vaastu shamaney cha vidharya uktah, Santarpayed vijavaraanatha bhakshya bhojjyeh, Shuklaambarah Swabhavanam pravishet sa dhupam/(As the house is fully ready, the Head of the family should initiate the action of conducting 'Mangala Shanti' with a group of Brahmanas ahead along with a 'Kalasha'/Vessel, full of Sweet Water, Curd, Akshatas, tender mango leaves, flowers, fruits and coconuts as also scented sandal water, agarbattis/ incense sticks and oil-wick lamps nicely lit and decorated, as Brahmanas recite Veda hymns and musical instruments are played, while entering the house at the appointed 'Muhurta'. There after Griha praasaadas/ doors and other household items are purified for Vaastu Shaanti and Homa and Balidaana are performed. Brahmanas are treated with Bhojan and gifts of gold, vastras and dakshinas, where after relatives and friends are treated too with bhojan and gifts. Source Matsya Purana as a repeat of Chitrkoota exercise of 56 sarga of Essense of Ayodhya Khanda]

Stanza 28 continued: prīto 'smi te mahat karma tvayā krtam idam prabho, pradeyo yannimittam te pariṣvaṅgo mayā krtaḥ/ bhāvajñena krtajñena dharmajñena ca lakṣmaṇa, tvayā putreṇa dharmātmā na saṁvṛttaḥ pitā mama/ Rama and Sita were extremely delighted to see for themselved the most ideal 'parnashala' as arranged by Lakshmana and Rama complemented as follows: Samardha shaali Lakshmana! I am very happy at your very successful handiwork as you have perfomed a marvellous task; in turn may I embrace you tightly! Lakshmana! As you could readily understand what I have in my inner thoughts is excellent and I am indeed grateful to you as you are not merely a brother but like a son as my though father were still alive in your form! So saying in highly elated tone, Rama Sita Lakshmanas commenced living further on with peace and contentment.

Sarga Sixteen

Happy living by Rama Sita Lakshmanas at Panchavati through Hemanta Ritu and Godavari Snaanaas

Vasatas tasya tu sukham rāghavasya mahātmanah, śaradvyapāye hemanta rtur istah pravartate/ sa kadā cit prabhātāyām śarvaryām raghunandanah, prayayāv abhiṣekārtham ramyām godāvarīm nadīm/ prahvaḥ kalaśahastas tam sītayā saha vīryavān, pṛṣṭhato 'nuvrajan bhrātā saumitrir idam abravīt' ayam sa kālah samprāptah priyo yas te priyamvada, alamkṛta ivābhāti yena samvatsarah śubhah/ nīhāraparuṣo lokaḥ pṛthivī sasyamālinī, jalāny anupabhogyāni subhago havyavāhanah/ navāgrayaṇapūjābhir abhyarcya pitrdevatāḥ, kṛtāgrayaṇakāḥ kāle santo vigatakalmaṣāḥ/ prājyakāmā janapadāḥ sampannataragorasāḥ, vicaranti mahīpālā yātrārtham vijigīṣavaḥ/ sevamāne dṛḍham sūrye diśam antakasevitām, vihīnatilakeva strī nottarā dik prakāśate/ prakṛtyā himakośāḍhyo dūrasūryaś ca sāmpratam, yathārthanāmā suvyaktam himavān himavān girih/atyantasukhasamcārā madhyāhne sparśatah sukhāḥ, divasāḥ subhagādityāś chāyāsaliladurbhagāḥ/ mṛdusūryāḥ sanīhārāḥ paṭuśītāḥ samārutāh, śūnyāranyā himadhvastā divasā bhānti sāmpratam/nivṛttākāśaśayanāh pusyanītā himārunāh, śītā vṛddhatarāyāmās triyāmā yānti sāmpratam/ravisamkrāntasaubhāgyas tusārārunamandalah, niḥśvāsāndha ivādarśaś candramā na prakāśate/ jyotsnā tuṣāramalinā paurṇamāsyām na rājate, sīteva cātapaśyāmā lakṣyate na tu śobhate/ prakṛtyā śītalasparśo himaviddhaś ca sāmpratam, pravāti paścimo vāvuh kāle dvigunasītalah/ bāspacchannāny aranvāni vavagodhūmavanti ca, sobhante 'bhvudite sūrve nadadbhih krauñcasārasaih/ kharjūrapuṣpākṛtibhiḥ śirobhih pūrṇataṇḍulaiḥ, śobhante kim cidālambāḥ śālayaḥ kanakaprabhāḥ/ mayūkhair upasarpadbhir himanīhārasamvṛtaiḥ, dūram abhyuditaḥ sūryaḥ śaśānka iva laksyate/ agrāhyavīryah pūrvāhne madhyāhne sparśatah sukhah, samraktah kim cid āpāndur ātapah śobhate ksitau/ avaśyāyanipātena kim cit praklinnaśādvalā, vanānām śobhate bhūmir niviṣṭataruṇātapā/ avaśyāyatamonaddhā nīhāratamasāvṛtāḥ, prasuptā iva lakṣyante vipuṣpā vanarājayaļ/ bāspasamchannasalilā rutavijneyasārasāļ, himārdravālukais tīraiļ sarito bhānti sāmpratam/ tuṣārapatanāc caiva mṛdutvād bhāskarasya ca, śaityād agāgrastham api prāyeṇa rasavaj jalam/ cakre 'bhişekam kākutsthaḥ sānujaḥ saha sītayā, tarpayitvātha salilais te pitṛn daivatāni ca, stuvanti smoditam sūryam devatās ca samāhitāh/ kṛtābhisekah sa rarāja rāmah; sītādvitīyah saha laksmanena, kṛtābhisekas tv agarājaputryā; rudrah sanandir bhagavān iveśah/

As Sharad Ritu was closing and Hemanta got initiated [Sharad Ritu or Autumn Season coinciding with Ashvin-Kartika months extending portions of September to November being mild weather the famed Sharannava Ratris and Depaavali are celebrated. Hemanta Ritu or pre-winter Season coinciding with Margaseersha and the last days of November-January, the festivals of Vasanta Panchami, Shiva Ratri and Holi are observed], one fine morning, Rama Sita Lakshmanas went for bathing in the sacred river Godavari. While leaving for the dip, Rama stated that the season of hemanta had arrived and the new season should herald excellent weather, rabi crop swayed in full swing, water is getting colder by the days and fire blocks were attracting human bodies. Satpurushas would normally perform 'Nava sasyueshti karma' and usher in new grains of rice and wheat and offer the cooked grains to Devas and Pitru Devatas to seek their blessings. Kings desirous of launching Vajaya yatras helald the new season as the weather was getting cooler at the early mornings and after sunsets. Surya Deva these days onward turn His direction to northern side as uttarayana would occur. By mid day, hemanta ritu becomes nicely warmer and becomes enjoyble. In this hemanta season nights get longer and prewinter would gradually heralded and none would like to sleep open sky in this season. Hemanta ritu's splendour gets chandra absorbed into Surya Deva as the exhaling breath would not cover up on a mirror with patches!

[Vishleshana on Ritus:

The following chart provides the details: Ritu/ Season- Lunar Month - Months - Weather

Vasanta	Spring	Chaitra - Vaishakha	Feb 18- April 20	20-
30Greeshma	Summer	Jyeshtha- Ashadha	April 21-June 21	30-50 C
Varsha	Monsoon	Shravana-Bhadrapada	June 22-Aug 23	hot-humid- rains
Sharat	Autumn	Ashvijuja-Kartika	Aug 24- Oct 23	mild

Hemanta	Pre-winter	Margashira-Pushya	Oct 24- Dec 21	pleasant- cold
Shishira	winter	Maagha-Phalguna	Dec 22-Feb 17	Moderate Cold;10C+/-

Vasanta Season is dominated by Vasu Devatasas instructed by Savitu as at the beginning of the Samvatsara and heralding colours, dresses, flowers and freshness all around and with plentiful water and Nature. The Spring season beckons relatives and friends to home with good food and gifts. In Greeshma the summer season scorches earth with heat asking for light dresses in white as Rudra and his gana devats dominate and prepares earth for Parjany and rains ushering diseases like cold, jaundice and so on. Yet, this is when crops are abundant and fruits in variety are aplenty. All the same rains the future of food supplies for the year hence calls for ploughing, planning and hard work.]

Stanza 15 onward: prakṛtyā śītalasparśo himaviddhaś ca sāmpratam, pravāti paścimo vāyuh kāle dvigunaśītalah/ By the very Nature, as one's touch is cold, the western winds turn a person further cold. At the sun rise time, krouncha and saasra birds make big noises especially getting excited at the heaps of rice and the emerging rays of Sun make a thrilling experiencee. By the mid-day, one's experience in this season gives heavenly feeling with the mildly warm Sun rays. bāspasamchannasalilā rutavijñeyasārasāh, himārdravālukais tīraih sarito bhānti sāmpratam/ tuṣārapatanāc caiva mṛdutvād bhāskarasya ca, śaityād agāgrastham api prāyeṇa rasavaj jalam/ But in the early mornings, rivers like Godavari, the waters are covered by patches ice and the birds like cranes would be identifiable by their shrieks but not by their physical forms. Since ice gets formed Sun rays too become mild since the waters from the mountain tops get severely cold. cakre 'bhisekam kākutsthah sānujah saha sītayā, tarpayitvātha salilais te pitṛn daivatāni ca, stuvanti smoditam sūryam devatāś ca samāhitāḥ/ kṛtābhiṣekaḥ sa rarāja rāmaḥ; sītādvitīyaḥ saha lakṣmaṇena, kr̥tābhiṣekas tv agarājaputryā; rudraḥ sanandir bhagavān iveśaḥ/ Bhagavan Shri Rama along with Devi Sita and Lakshmana then performed bathings on the famed river Godavari and performed with these sacred waters Deva- Pitru tarpanas, well before Sun rise. Aftwer Sun rise, they recited Devata stotras. Shri Rama along with Sita Lakshmanas were looking like Devi Uma was invoking Parameshwara along with Nandi by the comparison of Godavari and Ganga!

[Vishleshana on the Sacred River Godavari and the excellence of bathings in the River:

Tato Gadaavarim praapya nitya siddha nishevitaam, Rajasuya- maapnoti Vayu Lokam cha gacchati/ (Maha Bharata extols the Mahatmya of Gautami River as the everlasting provider of Siddhis besides the maha phala of performing Raja suya Yagna and bestowing the Vayu Loka prapti). Brahma Purana explains further: Amritam Jahnavi toyam swarnamuchyate, Amritam gobhavam chaajyamamritam Soma yevacha, Gangaayaa vaarinaajyena hiranyena tathaiva cha, Sarvebhyopyaadhikam divyamaritam Goutami jala./ (It is stated that Ganges water is like gold, it is also said that pancha gavyas, Soma Yagnas are more valuable, but far more than Ganges water or gold, or even the pancha gavyas and Soma Yagnas, Godavari water is the best Amritam ever). Sapta Godavarim snaatwaa niyato niyataashanah, Maha punyamavaapnoti Devalokam cha gacchati/ (Those who bathe in and drink the waters of 'Sapta Godavari dhaaras'- comprising Vasishtha, Kaushiki, Vriddha Goutami, Goutami, Bharadwaaji, Atreyi and Tulya- are indeed blessed with Maha Punya and attain Deva Lokas).

Details of Gautami Ganga (Godavari River) and its magnificence are detailed in Brahma Purana in a full chapter as Maharshi Gautam was indeed responsible to have meditated intensely for several years and pleased the ever mediful Maha Deva to let the flows of the celestial water come down to Earth in the form of Godavari as narrated here under: As Bali Chakravarti's some of the Sankalpa Jala to donate the

proverbial Three Feet to Vamana Deva fell on Shiva's jataajuta, there were too recipients of that Sacred Water on Earth viz. a Maharshi called Gautama and King Bhagiratha of Surya Vamsha. Thus Ganga from Shiva Jatajuta took two manifestations, one as Ganga and another as Gautami. While Bhagirathi Ganga's origin as was materialized by King Sagara's descendant Bhagiratha and his tenacious efforts by meditation to Vishnu, Ganga Devi and Parameswara was well described in various Puranas, detailed account was provided in Brahma Purana about Gautami Ganga or the Dakshina Ganga. When Gautama reached atop Kailasha Mountain, he extolled Parama Shiva and the latter was pleased with the Maharshi's Tapasya, Bhakti, Vrata and Stuti and gave Darshan to Gautama. As Mahadeva asked the Maharshi as to what was his wish, Gautama requested Bhagavan that a part of Ganga that was absorbed in Shiva jatajuta be please spared to fall on Brahmagiri so that in the interest of devotees who crave for a Sacred River, Ganga the Great Purifier should flow at least before enter the Sea and the Public would get a chance to sanitise themselves of their sins atleast at that Place. Shiva readily agreed to Gautami's request in Public interest in that Region and affirmed that Gautami Ganga would most certainly be a very popular and Sacred River; as the prayed to Parama Paavani Ganga to descend from Maha Deva's jataajuta, he first took her to wash Bhagavan Traimbeskeswara's feet and requested Bhagavan to prescribe the Puja Vidhi of Bhagavan. At the outset a devotee was required to perform Nandimukha Shraddha, satisfy Brahmanas with Bhojana Dakshinas, and take holy bath in Godavari, distribute Vastras and cash to Sadhus and the Poor and practice japa- homa- Puja as prescribed and thus complete the Tirtha Yatra with the Parama Manthra OM Namassivaaya with veneration and faith. Also perform Snaana and Puja at the Confluence Points of Trishna, Bhimarathi and Tungabhadra. Maha Deva blessed the sprawling Gautami and hailed it as his personal favourite with several names such as Maheswari, Ganga, Gautami, Vaishnavi, Godavari, Nanda, Sunanda, Kamadayani, Brahma Teja Samaaneeta and Sarva Paapa Pranashini. Brahma described to Narada Muni about various Sacred Tirthas that came up on the banks of the long Gautami Ganga: Vaaraahi Tirtha at Triamabaka Kshetra was the gift of Varaahaavatara of Vishnu who killed a Raakhasa named Sindhusena who defeated Indra and other Devas and obstructed the performance of Yagnas-the life line of Devas, the fruits of which were discarded in Rasatala; the blood of the Daityas, Danavas and Rakshasas headed by Sindhusena was washed in the Rasatala Ganga and Maha Yagnas were conducted again where Vaaraaha Titha was originated. Another Tirtha called Kushaavarta came to be formed in Triambaka to enable worship to Pitra Shraarthas and Tarpanas that emerged from Nilaparvatas in the Region popularly known as Nila Ganga. Kapota Tirtha had the back- ground of a hunter who was in the habit of killing several animals and caged many birds for his food daily; once he was caught badly in severe rain and rested under a Banyan Tree when he saw a male bird on the tree recognized a female bird in the hunter's net; as the male bird found that the hunter was shivering with cold and suffering the pangs of hunger. The female bird inside the net requested the male bird on the tree to collect figs and some fire from a distance by its beak holding a fig and thus producing a fig-lit fire to jump in and satisfy his hunger and warm up his body- shiver from the fire! The hunter was ashamed of his past killings and was taught a lesson as he prayed to Mahadeva to absolve him of his past sins and converted himself as a saint eventually. Later on as he died, Bhagavan granted the Kapota, the Kapoti and the Hunter-converted as Saint and a Sacred Titha came up as a Symbol of Sacrifice by the Kapota birds and the penance of the Hunter! The Kapota Tirtha snaan is till date known as a Provider of Ashwamedha Yagna Phala and Salvation. The origin of Dashaashwametha Tirtha was that a King called Bhouvan desired to perform Ten Ashwamedha Yagnas simultaneously and engaged Kashyapa Muni for the purpose but there were some hurdles or other although tried many Tirthas like Prayaga and Kashyapa made an appeal to Brahma who recommended Gautami banks in Dakshina Bharata and finally succeeded performing the Ten Yagnaas

side by side and after successful completion organized Anna daanaas to lakhs of poor persons and gave away Brahamana daanaas. It is stated that till date the Tirtha continued to be famed for Yagnas and Annadaanas and those who performed sacred bathings at the Tirtha would secure Yagna Phalas. The background of Paishacha Tirtha on the banks of Godavari related to Kesari the illustrious follower of Shri Ramaalong with other Vaanaraas of Kishkindha headed by Sugriva. Kesari had two wives viz. Anjana and Adri, both being Apsaras cursed by Indra to become a female monkey and a female cat respectively in the form of Mountains. But for their faces both the women had attractive physiques. As both the Devis approached Agastya Muni the latter blessed thm and Devi Anjana gave birth to Hanuman Deva with the blessings and Amsha of Vaayu Deva and Devi Adri gave birth to a King of Piscachaas with the blessings and of Nirruti Deva. The Paishacha Tirtha thus came to name and fame and not far from it known as Hanuma Tirtha and Vrishakapi Tirthaa which enjoyed considerable popularity as Hanuman had been a symbol of intrepidity, invincibility and unflinching loyalty who continued to be an Ever-living and legend in the Immortal Epic of Ramayana. Brahma affirmed that Pancha Tirtha was the Point of Confluence of his own progeney viz. Savitri, Gayatri, Shraddhaa, Medhaa and Saraswati and these were all connected to Bhagavati Ganga; snaanaas in Pancha Tirtha, followed by Pujas and Daanaas would fully relieve several problems and insurmountable difficulties are overcome as though those never existed. All along the banks of Gautami Ganga were dotted several Tirthas of renown due their association of Devas, human beings, Maharshis and of Rakshasaas, Apsaras, who were all the Great Devotees of the Almighty despite their erstwhile past or because of it. Such Tirthas included Kshudhaa Tirtha, Ahalya Tirtha, Ashva Tirtha, Bhanu Tirtha, Aruna-Varuna sangama, Garuda Tirtha, Govardhana Tirtha, Indra Tirtha, Rumna Vimochana Tirtha, Chakra / Dadhichi Muni Tirtha, Pancha Tirtha, Pururava Tirtha, Naga Tirtha, Maatru Tirtha, Avighna Tirtha, Sesha Tirtha, Shanaishchara Tirtha, Soma Tirtha, Dhanya Tirtha, Vidarbha Sangama and Revati Sangama Tirthas, Shri Rama Tirtha and so on. All these Tirthas provide multiple benefits of self-confidence, courage, knowledge and sin-demolishing. While the various Tirthas have been described as above in Brahma Purana, those mentioned in Maharashtra are identified include: Panchavati cluster or Rama Temples, Naroshankar Temple, Sundar Narayana Temple, Modakeshwara Temple, Gangeshwara Veda Mandir and Mukti dhaam Temple all in Nashik itself; besides Ekanatha Shrine in Paithan etc. In Andhra Pradesh, the Tirthas on the banks of Godavari are the famed Annavaram Satya Narayan a Temple, Dwaraka Tirumala, Draksha Rama, Kotilinga Pushkara, exclusive Shani Temple in Konaseema, Bhadrachala Rama Mandir etc.]

Sarga Seventeen

Rakshasi Shurpanakha arrives at Panchavati, introduces, proposes to Rama to wed as his wife

Kṛtābhiṣeko rāmas tu sītā saumitrir eva ca, tasmād godāvarītīrāt tato jagmuḥ svam āśramam/ āśramam tam upāgamya rāghavaḥ sahalakṣmaṇaḥ, kṛtvā paurvāhṇikam karma parṇaśālām upāgamat/ sa rāmaḥ parṇaśālāyām āsīnaḥ saha sītayā, virarāja mahābāhuś citrayā candramā iva, lakṣmaṇena saha bhrātrā cakāra vividhāḥ kathāḥ/ tadāsīnasya rāmasya kathāsamsaktacetasaḥ, tam deśam rākṣasī kā cid ājagāma yadrcchayā/ sā tu śūrpaṇakhā nāma daśagrīvasya rakṣasaḥ, bhaginī rāmam āsādya dadarśa tridaśopamam/ simhoraskam mahābāhum padmapatranibhekṣaṇam, sukumāram mahāsattvam pārthivavyañjanānvitam/ rāmam indīvaraśyāmam kandarpasadṛśaprabham, babhūvendropamam dṛṣṭvā rākṣasī kāmamohitā/ sumukham durmukhī rāmam vṛttamadhyam mahodarī, viśālākṣam virūpākṣī sukeśam tāmramūrdhajā/ priyarūpam virūpā sā susvaram bhairavasvanā, taruṇam dāruṇā vṛddhā

daksinam vāmabhāsinī/ nyāyavrttam sudurvrttā priyam apriyadarsanā, sarīrajasamāvistā rāksasī rāmam abravīt/ jatī tāpasarūpena sabhāryah śaracāpadhrk āgatas tvam imam deśam katham rāksasasevitam/ evam uktas tu rākṣasyā śūrpaṇakhyā paramtapaḥ, rjubuddhitayā sarvam ākhyātum upacakrame/ āsīd daśaratho nāma rājā tridaśavikramah, tasyāham agrajah putro rāmo nāma janaih śrutah/ bhrātāyam laksmano nāma vavīvān mām anuvratah, ivam bhārvā ca vaidehī mama sīteti viśrutā/ nivogāt tu narendrasya pitur mātuś ca yantritaḥ,dharmārtham dharmakānkṣī ca vanam vastum ihāgataḥ/ tvām tu veditum icchāmi kathyatām kāsi kasya vā, iha vā kimnimittam tvam āgatā brūhi tattvataḥ/ sābravīd vacanam śrutvā rāksasī madanārditā, śrūvatām rāma vaksvāmi tattvārtham vacanam mama/ aham śūrpanakhā nāma rāksasī kāmarūpinī, aranyam vicarāmīdam ekā sarvabhayamkarā/ rāvano nāma me bhrātā rāksaso rāksaseśvarah pravrddhanidraś ca sadā kumbhakarno mahābalah/ vibhīsanas tu dharmātmā na tu rāksasacestitah, prakhyātavīryau ca rane bhrātarau kharadūsanau/ tān aham samatikrāntā rāma tvāpūrvadarśanāt, samupetāsmi bhāvena bhartāram purusottamam,cirāya bhava bhartā me sītayā kim karişyasi/ vikṛtā ca virūpā ca na seyam sadṛśī tava, aham evānurūpā te bhāryārūpeṇa paśya mām/ imām virūpām asatīm karālām nirṇatodarīm, anena saha te bhrātrā bhaksavisyāmi mānusīm/ tatah parvataśrngāni vanāni vividhāni ca, paśvan saha mayā kānta dandakān vicarişyasi/ ity evam uktah kākutsthah prahasya madirekṣaṇām, idam vacanam ārebhe vaktum vākyaviśāradah/

As Rama Sita Lakshmanas returned from Godavari snaanaas to the Rama Kurteera and performed Puja and homa prakriyas and bhojana, neighbouring Muni Varaas called on them for exchange of views. In fact in their daily afternoons, the Munis were usually calling on the Ramas for dharmic conversations and life got routinised for Ramas likewise. tadāsīnasya rāmasya kathāsamsaktacetasah, tam deśam rākṣasī kā cid ājagāma yadrechayā/ sā tu śūrpanakhā nāma daśagrīvasya raksasah, bhaginī rāmam āsādya dadarśa tridasopamam/ As Rama was likewise enjoying the pre evenings with Sita Lakshmanas and the Munis, one day arrived a Rakshasi and introduced herself as Shurpanakha the sister of Dashamukha Rakshasa Ravana as Shri Rama was seated like a Deva with brightness and readily alluring personality. His face was full of radiance and broad like a lotus, his body build was of excellence with tall and sturdy features, his gait was of an elephant pace, and above all his headdress was with a 'jataa mandala'. sukumāram mahāsattvam pārthivavvanjanānvitam, rāmam indīvarasvāmam kandarpasadrsaprabham, babhūvendro pamam dṛṣṭvā rākṣasī kāmamohitā/ sumukham durmukhī rāmam vṛttamadhyam mahodarī, viśālākṣam virūpāksī sukeśam tāmramūrdhajā/As Shri Rama was of tender looks but of mighty body, served by Lakskmana as of a royalty, glittering with a blue lily skin, was looking like a Manmatha the Kama Deva seated as Devendra with alacrity and high dignity. No wonder the ugly Rakshasi Shurpanakha fell fancied for Rama! As Rama was of excellence, Shurpanakha was ugly, fierce looking, and fat; while Rama was of readily arresting and lovable, she was nightmarish and horrendous; Rama's voice was gentle and affectionate while her tone was of a barking bitch. Then Shurpanakha questioned Rama as to why he was in the attire of a tapasvi, but with dhanur baanaas and with a woman accompanied too. Then Rama replied 'Devi! I am the elder son of Chakravarti Dasharatha named Rama- Lakshmana is my younger brother and my wife is Devi Sita, the daughter of Videha King Janaka. We are now here as instructed by my father Dasharatha as prompted by mother Kaikeyi and the purpose of our vana vaasa is of 'dharma raksha and dharma paripaalana'. Now, Devi, you may like to introduce yourself too. Whose daughter are you; what name; who is your husband; you seem to be a rakshasi as you seem to change your form as you please; why have you come here! Please tell me plainly and truthfully! Then Shurpanakha replied making amorous advances to Rama: 'I am a Rakshasi Shurpanakha and can change my swarupas as I please; I frighten all types of pranis of the; 'aranya' freely all alone; my brother is Ravana and you must have heard of his name of notoriety! Ravana is the son of Vishva Muni about whom you might have heard and also of Kumbhakarna whose sleepishness is his permanent characteristic. My yet another brother is Vibheeshana who is a dharmatma and is against the features of a dharma and achaara vyavahaara unlike me and all the rest of us. Rama! In terms of bala parakrama I seem to excel my own brothers Khara Bhushanas too. Now may I propose to marry me and make me happy. Of which avail is this miserable bodied Sita as in my view, she is frail, sickly, and I could eat her off along with your brother Lakshmana

too.' As Shurpanakha statef likewise, Shri Rama broke into big laughter as replied Shurpanakha sa follows!

Sarga Eighteen

Shurpanakha compromises to wed Lakshmana as he was single there but the latter cuts off her ears and nose

Tām tu śūrpaṇakhām rāmaḥ kāmapāśāvapāśitām,svecchayā ślakṣṇayā vācā smitapūrvam athābravīt/ kṛtadāro 'smi bhavati bhāryeyam dayitā mamatvadvidhānām tu nārīnām suduhkhā sasapatnatā/ anujas tv esa me bhrātā śīlavān priyadarśanah, śrīmān akṛtadāraś ca laksmano nāma vīryavān/ apūrvī bhāryayā cārthī taruṇah priyadarśanah,anurūpaś ca te bhartā rūpasyāsya bhavişyati/ enam bhaja viśālākṣi bhartāram bhrātaram mama,asapatnā varārohe merum arkaprabhā vathā/iti rāmena sā proktā rāksasī kāmamohitā, visrjya rāmam sahasā tato laksmanam abravīt/ asya rūpasya te vuktā bhāryāham varavarninī, mayā saha sukham sarvān dandakān vicarişyasi/ evam uktas tu saumitrī rākṣasyā vākyakovidah, tataḥ śūrpaṇakhīm smitvā lakṣmaṇo yuktam abravīt/ katham dāsasya me dāsī bhāryā bhavitum icchasi, so 'ham āryena paravān bhrātrā kamalavarninī/ samṛddhārthasya siddhārthā muditāmalavarninī, āryasya tvam viśālāksi bhāryā bhava yavīyasī/ etām virūpām asatīm karālām nirnatodarīm, bhāryām vṛddhām parityajya tvām evaisa bhajisyati/ ko hi rūpam idam śrestham samtyajya varavarnini, mānuṣeṣu varārohe kuryād bhāvam vicakṣaṇaḥ/iti sā lakṣmaṇenoktā karālā nirṇatodarī, manyate tad vacaḥ satyam parihāsāvicakṣaṇā/ sā rāmam parṇaśālāyām upaviṣṭam paramtapam, sītayā saha durdharsam abravīt kāmamohitā/ imām virūpām asatīm karālām nirnatodarīm, vrddhām bhāryām avastabhya na mām tvam bahu manyase/ adyemām bhaksayisyāmi paśyatas tava mānusīm/ tvayā saha carisyāmi nihsapatnā yathāsukha/ ity uktvā mrgaśāvāksīm alātasadrśeksanā, abhyadhāvat susamkruddhā maholkā rohinīm iva/ tām mṛtyupāśapratimām āpatantīm mahābalah, nigrhya rāmah kupitas tato lakşmanam abravīt/ krūrair anāryaih saumitre parihāsah katham cana, na kāryah paśya vaidehīm atham cit saumya jīvatīm/ imām virūpām asatīm atimattām mahodarīm, rāksasīm purusavyāghra virūpayitum arhasi/ ity ukto laksmanas tasyāh kruddho rāmasya paśyatah, uddhrtya khadgam ciccheda karnanāsam mahābalaḥ/nikṛttakarṇanāsā tu visvaram sā vinadya ca, yathāgatam pradudrāva ghorā śūrpaṇakhā vanam/ sā virūpā mahāghorā rāksasī śonitoksitā, nanāda vividhān nādān yathā prāvrsi toyadah/ sā viksarantī rudhiram bahudhā ghoradarśanā, pragrhya bāhū garjantī praviveśa mahāvanam/ tatas tu sā rāksasasamghasamvrtam; kharam janasthānagatam virūpitā, upetya tam bhrātaram ugratejasam; papāta bhūmau gaganād yathāśanih/ tatah sabhāryam bhayamohamūrchitā; salaksmanam rāghayam āgatam vanam, virūpanam cātmani śonitokṣitā; śaśamsa sarvam bhaginī kharasya sā/

Rama told Shurapanakha with poise: 'Respected Devi!I am already married and this is my dear life partner and to have another wife would be difficult for you to bear mutually between both of you.My brother Lakshman who looks nice and mild is a big warrior too. His wife is not here and there is no fear of a co-wife. Then Shurpanakha left Rama and approached Lakshmana. She addressed Lakshmana then: 'May I be your dear wife! Then we should be able to enjoy life mutually in dandakaranya! Lakhmana replied: Red lotus like Sundari!I am only a servant of Shri Rama; why do you stoop down and become a servant's wife! My elder brother is a large hearted devata of great fotune and he could certainly afford another wife; why you could you not be a co wife of his! After all your form and beauty are perfect; who indeed would like a manava stree who is frail and thin as compared to a brave and strong sundari like you! Then Shurpanakha re-approached Rama and said: 'Rama! There is a point in what Lakshmana says too! After all Sita is too frail, thin, miserable looking compared to my body that is solid and robust as she is a mismatch to a hefty and tall figure like that of yours! In any case, this issue of myself and herself could be solved amicably by my devouring Sita totally!' As the raakshasi was about to pounce on Devi Sita, Rama made a 'humkaara' preventing Sita and addressed Lakshmana: $kr\bar{u}rair$ $an\bar{a}ryaih$ saumitre parihāsah katham cana, na kāryah paśya vaidehīm atham cit saumya jīvatīm/ imām

virūpām asatīm atimattām mahodarīm, rākṣasīm puruṣavyāghra virūpayitum arhasi/ 'Sumitra Nandana!Persons of cruelty be not tolerated even out of fun! Look at this, Devi Sita's life is now at stake. This wretched woman with protruded stomach and elongated head be rid of facial parts at once!' Lakshmana got terribly annoyed and having straightned his sword cut of Shurpanakha's nose and ears. The Rakshasi then ran away from the Rama Kuteera bleeding and shouting with acute pain like 'megha garjana' and her face was then looking frightening and ran away to a group of Raakshasaas headed by the ill reputed brother Khara who lost his mental poise with vengeful poisonous aberration as she narrated the entire background!

Sarga Nineteen

Khara incensed the treatment to sister and despatches fourteen rakshasaas to kill Rama Lakshmanas

Tām tathā patitām dṛṣṭvā virūpām śoṇitokṣitām, bhaginīm krodhasamtaptah kharaḥ papraccha rākṣasaḥ/ balavikramasampannā kāmagā kāmarūpinī, imām avasthām nītā tvam kenāntakasamā gatā/ devagandharvabhūtānām ṛṣīṇām ca mahātmanām, ko 'yam evam mahāvīryas tvām virūpām cakāra ha/ na hi paśyāmy aham loke yaḥ kuryān mama vipriyam, antarena sahasrākṣam mahendram pākaśāsanam/ adyāham mārganaih prānān ādāsye jīvitāntakaih, salile ksīram āsaktam nispibann iva sārasah/ nihatasya mayā samkhye śarasamkṛttamarmanah, saphenam rudhiram raktam medinī kasya pāsyati/ kasya patrarathāh kāyān māmsam utkṛtya samgatāh, prahṛṣṭā bhakṣayisyanti nihatasya mayā raṇe, tam na devā na gandharvā na piśācā na rākṣasāḥ, mayāpakṛṣṭaṁ kṛpaṇaṁ śaktās trātuṁ mahāhave/ upalabhya śanaiḥ samjñām tam me śamsitum arhasi, yena tvam durvinītena vane vikramya nirjitā/ iti bhrātur vacaḥ śrutvā kruddhasya ca viśesatah, tatah śūrpanakhā vākyam sabāspam idam abravīt/ tarunau rūpasampannau sukūmārau mahābalau, pundarīkaviśālāksau cīrakṛsnājināmbarau/ gandharvarājapratimau pārthivavyañjanānvitau, devau vā mānusau vā tau na tarkayitum utsahe/ tarunī rūpasampannā sarvābharanabhūsitā, drstā tatra mayā nārī tayor madhye sumadhyamā/ tābhyām ubhābhyām sambhūya pramadām adhikṛtya tām, imām avasthām nītāham yathānāthāsatī tathā/tasyāś cānrjuvrttāvās tavoś ca hatavor aham, saphenam pātum icchāmi rudhiram ranamūrdhani/ esa me prathamah kāmah krtas tāta tvavā bhavet, tasvās tavoš ca rudhiram pibevam aham āhave/ iti tasvām bruvāṇāyām caturdaśa mahābalān, vyādideśa kharaḥ kruddho rākṣasān antakopamān/ mānuṣau śastrasampannau cīrakrsnājināmbarau, pravistau dandakāranyam ghoram pramadayā saha/ tau hatvā tām ca durvrttām upāvartitum arhatha, iyam ca rudhiram tesām bhaginī mama pāsyati/ manoratho 'yam isto 'syā bhaginyā mama rāksasāh, śīghram sampadyatām gatvā tau pramathya svatejasā/iti pratisamādistā rāksasās te caturdaśa, tatra jagmus tayā sārdham ghanā vāteritā yathā/

As his own sister was punished Khara rakshasa got furious with madness and asked her to tell what precisely occurred as she was shivering with rage, insult and acute pain. Who indeed was he who pricked a cobra and played with your innocence and has now placed his head into a noose inviting destruction and death! You are a clever and ruthless woman yourself but how was it that a simple human being had brought this state of misery to you! Who indeed was he a devata or a gandharva or a bhuta or a Maharshi! Even a devata or Indra himself is unimaginable for this type of insulting assault on you even after knowing your background and bravery! Like a swan dividing milk and water, I shall extract his praanaas out of his body! In my attack on him I ought to break his loins into pieces and with his hot blood soothen your face with it! On the battle ground his hot blood would flow on the dirty earth as birds and reptiles would lap up flows even before drying up or earth! As her brother was spewing fire on his tongue, raakshasi Shurpanakha explained that in the forest there were two youthful men looking handsome and hefty with lotus eyes of attraction. They were dressed up like Munis with vallala vastras and mriga charmas apparently eating only roots and fruits like Munis again. In between there was a pretty and slim woman and introduced themselves as the sons of King Dasharatha and were named Rama and Lakshmanas. But they might be gandharvas or devatas. In between that woman was the root cause of this misery of mine. esa me prathamah kāmah krtas tāta tvavā bhavet, tasvās tavoš ca rudhiram pibevam

aham āhave/ My first and last ambition of life is to lap up ther blood fallen on the battle ground!' As Shurpanakha declared her vow then Khara Rakshasa sent fourteen frightening Rakshasas to first kill the two so called 'heros' and later on the woman too. Khara asserted to the furious fourteen that his own sister's life ambition is to pull them down to earth so that she could lap up the blood of their dead bodies! Thus the fourteen rakshasa deputies were despatched by Khara.

Sarga Twenty

Shri Rama devastates fourteen followers of Khara

Tatah śūrpanakhā ghorā rāghavāśramam āgatā, rakṣasām ācacakṣe tau bhrātarau saha sītayā/ te rāmam parnaśālāyām upavistam mahābalam, dadršuh sītayā sārdham vaidehyā laksmanena ca/ tān drstvā rāghavah śrīmān āgatām tām ca rāksasīm, abravīd bhrātaram rāmo laksmanam dīptatejasam/ muhūrtam bhava saumitre sītāyāḥ pratyanantarah, imān asyā vadhisyāmi padavīm āgatān iha/ vākyam etat tatah śrutvā rāmasya viditātmanaḥ, tatheti lakṣmaṇo vākyaṁ rāmasya pratyapūjayat/ rāghavo 'pi mahac cāpam cāmīkaravibhūsitam, cakāra sajvam dharmātmā tāni raksāmsi cābravīt/ putrau daśarathasvāvām bhrātarau rāmalakṣmaṇau, praviṣṭau sītayā sārdham duścaram daṇḍakāvanam/ phalamūlāśanau dāntau tāpasau dharmacāriṇau, vasantau daṇḍakāraṇye kimartham upahimsatha/ yuṣmān pāpātmakān hantum viprakārān mahāvane, rsīnām tu niyogena prāpto 'ham saśarāsanah' tisthataivātra samtustā nopasarpitum arhatha, yadi prānair ihārtho vo nivartadhvam niśācarāh/ tasya tadvacanam śrutvā rākṣasās te caturdaśa, ūcur vācam susamkruddhā brahmaghnaḥ śūlapāṇayah/ samraktanayanā ghorā rāmam raktāntalocanam, paruṣā madhurābhāṣam hṛṣṭādṛṣṭaparākramam/ krodham utpādya no bhartuḥ kharasya sumahātmanaḥ, tvam eva hāsyase prāṇān adyāsmābhir hato yudhi/ kā hi te śaktir ekasya bahūnām raṇamūrdhani, asmākam agratah sthātum kim punar yoddhum āhave/ ebhir bāhuprayuktair nah parighaih śūlapattiśaih, prānāms tyaksyasi vīryam ca dhanuś ca karapīditam/ ity evam uktyā samrabdhā rāksasās te caturdaśa, udvatāvudhanistrimśā rāmam evābhidudruvuh,ciksipus tāni śūlāni rāghavam prati durjavam/ tāni śūlāni kākutsthah samastāni caturdaśa, tāvadbhir eva ciccheda śaraih kāñcanabhūṣaṇaiḥ/ tataḥ paścān mahātejā nārācān sūryasamnibhān, jagrāha paramakruddhaś caturdaśa śilāśitān/ greheetvaa dhhanur āvamya laksyān uddiśya rāksasān, mumoca rāghayo bānān vajrān iva śatakratuh/ rukmapunkhāś ca viśikhāh pradīptā hemabhūsanāh, antarikse maholkānām babhūvus tulyavarcasaḥ/ te bhittvā rakṣasām vegād vakṣāmsi rudhirāplutāḥ, viniṣpetus tadā bhūmau nyamajjantāśanisvanāh/ te bhinnahrdayā bhūmau chinnamūlā iva drumāh, nipetuh śonitārdrāṅgā vikrtā vigatāsavah/ tān bhūmau patitān drstvā rāksasī krodhamūrchitā, paritrastā punas tatra vyasrjad bhairavam ravam/ sā nadantī mahānādam javāc chūrpanakhā punah, upagamya kharam sā tu kim cit samśuska śonitā, papāta punar evārtā saniryāseva vallarī/ nipātitān preksya rane tu rāksasān; pradhāvitā śūrpaṇakhā punas tataḥ, vadham ca teṣām nikhilena rakṣasām; śaśamsa sarvam bhaginī kharasva sā/

Then Shurpanakha again arrived at Ramachandra ashram again along with fourteen rakshasaas. Then Rama asked Lakshmana to be along with Devi Sita and that he would take care of the rakshasaas. Then Shri Rama lifted up the golden dhanush and addressed the rakshasaas. 'We are the two brothers being the sons of King Dasharatha named Rama and Lashmanas living here by eating roots and fruits and following brahmacharya. Why do you want harass us. Look, we seek to look after the interest of Rishis and and are carrying dhanush baanaas; I advise you to go away and get moving away as you have arrived as you would all be killed otherwise soon if you are willing as a final chance.' As the fourteen rakshasaas had heard about this cautionary advice, they got intensely incensed with red eyes and lifted their 'shulas' and shouted: 'arre, you got our chief angry; very soon you would die soon; you are dreaming of all our terminations, but save your own head soon! We are as many as fourteen and you are a dreamy singleton', so saying all the fourteen some attacked Rama in one go. But Rama lifted his golden dhanush and cut off all the fourteen shulas in one single strike like Indra had used his vajraayudha. Then Maha tejasvi Raghunaatha got angered and released only one arrow which automatically got multiplied into fourteen

and their chests were broken and blood gushed out spilt on the grounds. As the rakshasi Shurpanakha was dazed stand stilled and shouted fiercely and ran away for help to her brother Khara for safety.

Sarga Twenty One

Shurpanakha reaches brother Khara, conveys Rama's killing fourteen rakshasas, provokes Khara to seek revenge

Sa punaḥ patitām dṛṣṭvā krodhāc chūrpaṇakhām kharaḥ, uvāca vyaktatā vācā tām anarthārtham āgatām/ mayā ty idānīm śūrās te rāksasā rudhirāśanāh,tyatpriyārtham yinirdistāh kimartham rudyate punah/ bhaktāś caivānuraktāś ca hitāś ca mama nityaśaḥ, ghnanto 'pi na nihantavyā na na kuryur vaco mama/ kim etac chrotum icchāmi kāranam vatkrte punah, hā nātheti vinardantī sarpavad vestase ksitau/ anāthavad vilapasi kim nu nāthe mayi sthite, uttisthottistha mā bhaisīr vaiklavyam tyajyatām iha/ity evam uktā durdharsā kharena parisāntvitā, vimrjya nayane sāsre kharam bhrātaram abravīt/ presitāś ca tvayā śūrā rāksasās te caturdaśa, nihantum rāghavam ghorā matpriyārtham salaksmanam/ te tu rāmena sāmarṣāḥ śūlapaṭṭiśapāṇayaḥ, samare nihatāḥ sarve sāyakair marmabhedibhiḥ/ tān bhūmau patitān drstvā ksanenaiva mahābalān, rāmasva ca mahat karma mahāms trāso 'bhavan mama/ sāsmi bhītā samudvignā viṣaṇṇā ca niśācara,śaraṇaṁ tvāṁ punaḥ prāptā sarvato bhayadarśinī/ viṣādanakrādhyuṣite paritrāsormimālini, kim mām na trāyase magnām vipule śokasāgare/ ete ca nihatā bhūmau rāmeņa niśitaih śaraih, ye ca me padavīm prāptā rāksasāh piśitāśanāh/ mayi te yady anukrośo yadi raksahsu tesu ca, rāmena yadi śaktis te tejo vāsti niśācara, dandakāranyanilayam jahi rāksasakantakam/ yadi rāmam mamāmitram adya tvam na vadhisyasi, tava caivāgratah prānāms tyaksyāmi nirapatrapā/ buddhyāham anupaśyāmi na tvam rāmasya samyuge, sthātum pratimukhe śaktaḥ sacāpasya mahāraṇe/ śūramānī na śūras tvam mithyāropitavikramaḥ, mānuṣau yan na śaknoṣi hantum tau rāmalakṣmaṇau/ apayāhi janasthānāt tvaritaḥ sahabāndhavaḥ, niḥsattvasyālpavīryasya vāsas te kīdṛśas tv iha/ rāmatejo 'bhibhūto hi tvam kşipram vinasisyasi, sa hi tejahsamāyukto rāmo dasarathātmajah, bhrātā cāsya mahāvīryo yena cāsmi virūpitā/

As Shurpanakha was rattled and crestfallen out of shame fallen down on earth, Khara was terribly angered too as his fourteen trusted yoddhhas were killed away, and stated: dear sister! I had despathed my trusted warriors who fell down dead and am unable to digest this fact! Yet this is not the end of the world! You do not have to be fallen to earth like a dead cobra! Leave the fright and instill the spirit of vengeance! Then the rakshasi said: dear brother! When I arrived here having been cut off my ears and nose, you provided me solace; then you despatched fourteen trusted yoddhhas when my spirit of vengennce was somewhat assuaged. But alas! look at the tragic result! sāsmi bhītā samudvignā viṣaṇṇā ca niśācara, śaraṇam tvām punaḥ prāptā sarvato bhayadar śinī/ viṣādanakrādhyuṣite paritrāsormimālini, kim mām na trāvase magnām vipule śokasāgare/ Nishaachara Raja! I am shaken up with fear now from the stage of burning with rage and revenge! From all the directions, I am visualizing fright only now and am back to you with insult topped up by horror and panic! I am drowned in the ocean of howling and blubber while the crocodiles of helplessness and insults are about to devour me with no trace! It is unbelievable still that the 'nara maamsa bhakshi rakshasa maha yoddhhas' were fallen to earth in a single arrow! mayi te yady anukrośo yadi rakṣaḥsu teṣu ca, rāmeṇa yadi śaktis te tejo vāsti niśācara, daṇḍakā ranyanilayam jahi rākṣasakanṭakam/ yadi rāmam mamāmitram adya tvam na vadhiṣyasi, tava caivāgratah prānāms tyaksyāmi nirapatrapā/ Rakshasa Raja!If only you a have even a meagre sympathy for me and the fallen yoddhhas, then may you be equipped and geared up with steel of your guts and nerves and strike Rama with one stroke and may this dandakaranya be a hallucination for manavas and even devas! If only in the most unlikely event of Rama being still alive, then dearmost brother! I would have to commit suicide as my glory of living should be extinguished for ever! You rakshasa! If only your pride and fame has any substance but is not fake, then get ready to kill Rama Lakshmanas and make me proud as a brother but also the entire race of rakshasaas, lest the misery and defame would be deleted for ever that a mere 'maanava' would be but a drop in the ocean of pride and self respect for the race of

rakshasaas! After all!Rama Lakshmanas are merely human beings, and if your so-called 'paraakrama' or valour and bravery are genuine and not fake, then you might better prove it! Brother! If you do not extinguish Rama Lakshmanas soon enough you would be only making the world believe that Rama Lakshmanas are invincible on the universe!' In this manner, Shurpanakha was disheartened and disillusioned!

Sarga Twenty Two

Khara Dushana Rakshasaas along with fourteen thoushand sena attack Panchavati of Ramas

Evam ādharsitah śūrah śūrpanakhyā kharas tadā, uvāca raksasām madhye kharah kharataram vacah/ tavāpamānaprabhavah krodho 'yam atulo mama, na śakyate dhārayitum lavanāmbha ivotthitam/ na rāmam gaṇaye vīryān mānuṣam kṣīṇajīvitam, ātmā duścaritaih prāṇān hato yo 'dya vimokṣyati/ bāṣpah samhriyatām eşa sambhramas ca vimucyatām, aham rāmah saha bhrātrā nayāmi yamasādanam/ paraśvadhahatasyādya mandaprānasya bhūtale, rāmasya rudhiram raktam usnam pāsyasi rāksasi/ sā prahrstvā vacah śrutvā kharasya vadanāc cyutam, praśaśamsa punar maurkhyād bhrātaram rakṣasām varam/ tayā paruşitaḥ pūrvam punar eva praśamsitaḥ, abravīd dūṣaṇam nāma kharaḥ senāpatim tadā/ caturdaśa sahasrāni mama cittānuvartinām, raksasīm bhīmavegānām samaresv anivartinām/ nīlajīmūtavarnānām ghorānām krūrakarmanām, lokasimhāvihārānām balinām ugratejasām/ tesām śārdūladarpāṇām mahāsyānām mahaujasām, sarvodyogam udīrṇānām rakṣasām saumya kāraya/ upasthāpava me ksipram ratham saumva dhanūmsi ca, śarāms ca citrān khadgāms ca saktīs ca vividhāh śitāh/ agre nirvātum icchāmi paulastvānām mahātmanām, vadhārtham durvinītasva rāmasva ranakovidah/ iti tasya bruvānasya sūryavarnam mahāratham, sadaśvaih śabalair yuktam ācacakse 'tha dūsanah/ tam meruśikharākāram taptakāñcanabhūsanam, hemacakram asambādham vaidūryamaya kūbaram/ matsyaih puspair drumaih śailaiś candrasūryaiś ca kāñcanaih, māngalyaih paksisamghaiś ca tārābhiś ca samāvṛtam/ dhvajanistrimśasampannam kinkinīkavibhūsitam, sadaśvayuktam so 'marsād āruroha ratham kharaḥ/ niśāmya tam rathagatam rākṣasā bhīmavikramāh, tasthuḥ samparivāryainam dūsanam ca mahābalam/kharas tu tān mahesvāsān ghoracarmāvudhadhvajān, nirvātetv abravīd drstvā rathasthah sarvarāksasān/ tatas tad rāksasam sainvam ghoracarmāvudhadhvajam,nirjagaama janasthaanaan mahānādam mahājavam/ mudgaraiḥ paṭṭiśaiḥ śūlaiḥ sutīkṣṇaiś ca paraśvadhaiḥ, khadgaiś cakraiś ca hastasthair bhrājamānaiś ca tomaraih/śaktibhih patighair ghorair atimātraiś ca kārmukaih, gadāsimusalair vajrair grhītair bhīmadarśanaih rāksasānām sughorānām sahasrāni caturdaśa, niryātāni janasthānāt kharacittānuvartinām/ tāms tv abhidravato drstvā rāksasān bhīmavikramān, kharasyāpi rathah kim cij jagāma tadanantaram/tatas tāñ śabalān aśvāms taptakāñcanabhūṣitān, kharasya matam ājñāya sārathiḥ samacodayat/ sa codito rathaḥ śīghram kharasya ripughātinah, śabdenāpūrayām āsa diśaś ca pratiśas tathā/ pravṛddhamanyus tu kharah kharasvano; ripor vadhārtham tvarito yathāntakah, acūcudat sārathim unnadan punar; mahābalo megha ivāsmavarsavān/

Khara as intensely provoked by Shurpakakha addressed her angrily and srated: Dear sister, the insult and injury to you is as to my own and am hence in an unpardonable grief and furious rage for me personally too and ought to be retalieated and avenged at any cost. I cannot consider Rama from the view point of heroism but his time for his misfortune has most certainly arrived as he ought to be exterminated by now. Sister! Stop crying, leave helplessness and be ready for revenge. Along with his brother Lakshmana, Rama should now be despatched to Yamapuri now. Sister rakshasi! To day you should have soon a feastful flows of red hot blood of their bodies. As Khara stated this with conviction and confidence with frenzy, the sister was delighted with excitement and showered praises on him unreservedly! Then Khara addressed Dushana the senapati: Soumya! Get ready now with my loyal, furious, black and cloud coloured, frightfully speedy, readily enthusiatic players of death as gift to the opponents atonce to send Rama Lakshmanas to naraka the Yama puri. Senapati! Also get my chariot and the intrepid horses too ready; further decorate my dhanush banaas, vithitra-vichitra khadgaas, and various other astra-

shastraas.Rana veera Senaani!let pulastya vamshi rakshasa pramukhas be readied ahead of my chariot. As Khara commanded senapati Dhushana, the latter selected 'Madhyaahna Surya' like bright horses of Agni like speed and fury and indicated the readiness. Then Rakshasa Raja Khara ascended the chariot even recalling his sister's words of praises for him against the background of her threat of her suicide of failure! *Kharastu tanmahatsainyam rathacharmaayudha dhwajam, niyaaratetyabraveet prakshya Dushanah sarva raakshasaan*/ Khara addressed Dushana having noticed the chariot, kavacha, astra shastra and dhvaja, and the readiness of the entire 'sena' and in turn gave the green signal to get ready and go! Then the 'sena' moved fast like an arrow just released! The army carried mudgara-pattisha-shula-khadga-chakra-tomara sparkled! Shakti, parigha,dhanush, gada, musala, and vajra the eight angled weaponry all had flashed with glitter making any opponent should normally give shudders to enemies. This was how fourteen thousand rakshasa sena made the attack with rapid forward steps. As the feeling of Khara having been noticed, Dushana gave the sign for the totality of soldiers to run ahead for sharpening the violent agression! Then the angry face of Khara was twirling and curling like a poisonous snake! Then he roared like an incited lion and the charioteer incited the horses to run faster and faster!

Sarga Twenty three

Khara then noticed dusshakunas like donkey brayings and squeaks of vultures from the sky, but having ignored these, Khara reaches Shri Rama 'ashrama'

Tat prayātam balam ghoram aśivam śonitodakam, abhyayarsan mahāmeghas tumulo gardabhārunah/ nipetus turagās tasya rathayuktā mahājavāh, same puspacite dese rājamārge yadrcchayā/ syāmam rudhiraparyantam babhūva parivesanam, alātacakrapratimam pratigrhya divākaram/ tato dhvajam upāgamya hemadandam samucchritam, samākramya mahākāyas tasthau grdhrah sudārunah Janasthānasamīpe ca samākramya kharasvanāh, visvarān vividhām's cakrur māmsādā mṛgapaksinah/ vyājahruś ca padīptāyām diśi vai bhairavasvanam, aśivā yātu dāhānām śivā ghorā mahāsvanāh/ prabhinnagirisamkāśās toyaśoṣitadhāriṇaḥ, ākāśam tad anākāśam cakrur bhīmā balāhakāḥ/ babhūva timiram ghoram uddhatam romaharsanam,diśo vā vidiśo vāpi suvyaktam na cakāśire/ ksatajārdrasavarnābhā samdhvākālam vinā babhau, kharasvābhimukham nedus tadā ghorā mrgāh khagāḥ/ nityāśivakarā yuddhe śivā ghoranidarśanāḥ, nedur balasyābhimukham jvālodgāribhir ānanaiḥ/ kabandhah parighābhāso drśyate bhāskarāntike, jagrāha sūryam svarbhānur aparvani mahāgrahah/ pravāti mārutah sīghram nisprabho 'bhūd divākarah, utpetus ca vinā rātrim tārāh khadyotasaprabhāh/ samlīnamīnavihagā nalinyah puspapankajāh, tasmin ksane babhūvuś ca vinā puspaphalair drumāh/ uddhūtas ca vinā vātam renur jaladharārunah, vīcīkūcīti vāsyanto babhūvus tatra sārikāh/ ulkās cāpi sanirghoṣā nipetur ghoradarśanāh, pracacāla mahī cāpi saśailavanakānanā/kharasya ca rathasthasya nardamānasya dhīmataḥ, prākampata bhujaḥ savyaḥ kharaś cāsyāvasajjata/sāsrā sampadyate drṣṭiḥ paśyamānasya sarvatah, lalāte ca rujā jātā na ca mohān nyavartata/ tān samīkṣya mahotpātān utthitān romaharsanān, abravīd rāksasān sarvān prahasan sa kharas tadā/ mahotpātān imān sarvān utthitān ghoradarśanān,na cintayāmy aham vīryād balayān durbalān iya/tārā api śarais tīksnaih pātayeyam nabhastalāt, mrtyum maraṇadharmeṇa samkruddho yojayāmy aham/ rāghavam tam balotsiktam bhrātaram cāpi laksmanam, ahatvā sāyakais tīksnair nopāvartitum utsahe/ sakāmā bhaginī me 'stu pītvā tu rudhiram tayoh, yannimittam tu rāmasya laksmanasya viparyayah/ na kva cit prāptapūrvo me samyugesu parājayah, yusmākam etat pratyaksam nānrtam kathayāmy aham/ devarājam api kruddho mattairāvatayāyinam, vajrahastam raņe hanyām kim punas tau ca mānuṣau/ sā tasya garjitam śrutvā rākṣasasya mahācamūḥ, praharṣam atulam lebhe mrtyupāśāvapāśitā/ sameyuś ca mahātmāno yuddhadarśanakānkṣiṇaḥ, ṛṣayo devagandharvāḥ siddhāś ca saha cāraṇaiḥ/ sametya coruḥ sahitās te 'nyāyam puṇyakarmaṇaḥ, svasti gobrāhmaṇebhyo 'stu lokānām ye ca sammatāḥ/ jayatām rāghavo yuddhe paulastyān rajanīcarān, cakrā hasto yathā yuddhe sarvān asurapumgavān/ etac cānyac ca bahuśo bruvānāh paramarsayah, dadrśur vāhinīm tesām rāksasānām gatāyusām/ rathena tu kharo vegāt sainyasyāgrād viniḥsṛtaḥ, tam dṛṣṭvā rākṣasam bhūyo rākṣasāś ca viniḥsṛtāḥ/śyena gāmī pṛthugrīvo vajñaśatrur vihamgamah, durjavah karavīrāksah parusah kālakārmukah/ meghamālī mahāmālī sarpāsvo rudhirāśanaḥ,dvādaśaite mahāvīryāḥ pratasthur abhitaḥ kharam/ mahākapālaḥ sthūlākṣaḥ pramāthī triśirās tathā, catvāra ete senāgryā dūṣaṇam pṛṣṭhato 'nvayuḥ/ sā bhīmavegā samarābhikāmā; sudāruṇā rākṣasavīra senā, tau rājaputrau sahasābhyupetā; mālāgrahāṇām iva candrasūryau/

As Khara's maha sena proceeded towards Rama Kuteera at Panchavati, there were terrible omens like frighteningly donkey shaped clouds forming on the sky with reverberations, besides pours of blood raining on the rakshasa soldiers. Khara's chariot horses as were speeding up had suddenly squatted while on the speedy run! Up on the sky, all around the Surya mandala, there emerged a black circular patch bordered blood red! On the chariot of Khara, the tall and imposing golden dhwaja was seated by a huge sized owl which was sickening to the onlookers. Frightening squeaks of mamsa bhaksha pakshis seated on Khara's charoit's ceiling atop were loud looking up on the bright Sum on the sky repetitively. Ominous black clouds on the sky were of the shape of elephants pour streams of blood ahead of Khara's chariot. Mother earth even by mid day assumed utter darkness which enveloped earth made the identification of ashra dishas or the eight directions was not possible easily. Quite irrespective of time, sandhya kaala appeared to have occurred and the loud noises of pashu pakshis suddenly became alarming especially the headgear of Khara was tilted and jolted with the nasty noises especially of bats hitting and hovering around. At that time as the maha sena was in full swing, the forest trees were rattled and the fruits and flowers dropped down as though mother earth attracted the flows of the pull downs. There were repetitive and frightening sounds as though meteors and comets of earth's amosphere were flustered. As such omens were appearing up on the sky and all around in the atmosphere or on earth around, Khara laughed boisterously and addressed Dushana and fellow rakshasaas: 'these omens should be the least disturbing to us and even I could drop Stars from the sky too by the arrows of my might! tārā api śarais tīksnaih pātayeyam nabhastalāt, mrtyum maranadharmena samkruddho yojayāmy aham/ rāghavam tam balotsiktam bhrātaram cāpi laksmanam, ahatvā sāyakais tīksnair nopāvartitum utsahe/ sakāmā bhaginī me 'stu pītvā tu rudhiram tayoh, yannimittam tu rāmasya laksmanasya viparyayah/ Once really incensed up, I could enter my head into the mouth of death, yet the arrogant Rama and his stupid follower brother Lakshmana would forward to death as my dear sister is ready to drink up their blood! By now as we are attacking them solidly, they ought to have by now realised the childish prank of cutting the nose and ears of my sister. Without exageration may I declare that I never had faced defeat in my encounters in life'. By the simha garjana of Khara, the fellow rakshasaas shouted with roars of resounding laughter. That was the time when mahatmas-rishis-devatas-gandharvas- siddha chaaranas had all assembled and wished Rama Lakshmanas the best of luck and fortune. They declared: svasti gobrāhmanebhyo 'stu lokānām ye ca sammatāh/jayatām rāghavo yuddhe paulastyān rajanīcarān, cakrā hasto yathā yuddhe sarvān asurapumgavān/May there be all round auspiciousness to cows and brahmanas and maharmas. May Rama be bledded by Maha Vishnu to vindicate truth and eradicate falsity, arrogance, self and misplaced pride and conceited egotism. As Khara's army reached the Ashram, Khara hastened the attack with twelve maha yoddhhas in the fore front viz. Shyenagaami-Prithugreeva-Yagina shatru-Vihangama-Durjaya-Karaveeraaksha-Parusha-Kaalakaarmuka-Hemamaali-Mahamaali-Sarpaasya-and Rudhitaashana. Four of the maha rakshasas viz. Maha Kapaala-Shulaaksha-Pramaatha and Trishira were led my Senapati Dushana.sā bhīmavegā samarābhikāmā; sudāruņā rākṣasavīra senā, tau rājaputrau sahasābhyupetā; mālāgrahānām iva candrasūryau/ The rakshasa veeraas led by the sena thus encountered Raja Kumaras Shri Rama and Lakshmana as the Graha pankti faced Surya Chandras!

Vishleshana on premonitions of death in general terms to humans sourced from Markandeya Purana:

'Arishtas' (premonitions) of death: Those persons who cannot identify Stars on the Sky of Dhruva, Shukra, Soma and Arundhati may face death within a year; who find Sun dim within eleven months; who find in their dreams the images of body rejects mixed with gold/silver would die within ten months; who witness Piscachas, Pretas, and Golden Trees would die within nine months; persons who are fat but become thin, and again fat, would die within eight months; those who witness a scene of getting their feet stuck in mud and after coming out of the slush with impressions of not being able to notice the above

portion of the feet would die within seven months; a dream showing a picture of a Kite, dove, owl or a crow- all with blue colour- sitting on one's head would die within six months; those who see a row of crows and witness one's own body full of dirt due to the flight of the crows would die within four months; if a person witnesses a rainbow and lightning on the southern Sky in a cloudless night would die within a couple of months; a person whose body experiences the bad odours of a dead body or who cannot see his own reflection in ghee, oil, mirror and water would be dead within a month; if a person dreams that he has no head would die within a fortnight; those whose body and heart dry up soon after taking bath or feel thirsty immediately after taking large quantity of water would not last for more than ten days; if a person's breathing is uneven or he dreams that he is travelling in a boat full of monkeys and is singing or when a powerful monk is passing while laughing loud, then death is round the corner. Dreams of hair, fire, ash, serpents or dried up river; crooked nose, long ears, weeping left eye, a metallic face, black tongue, riding camels and donkeys bound to Southern direction, blinded eyes and deaf ears, upward eyesight, etc. are portends of early death.]

Sarga Twenty Four

As the dusshakunas loomed large, Rama hopes for the doom of Rakshasaas and victory for himself- as a precaution, he asked Lakshmana to hide Devi Sita in a cave and got readied for the battle

Aashramam prati yāte tu khare kharaparākrame,tān evautpātikān rāmaḥ saha bhrātrā dadarśa ha/ tān utpātān mahāghorān utthitān romaharşaṇān, prajānām ahitān dṛṣṭvā vākyam lakṣmaṇam abravīt/ imān paśya mahābāho sarvabhūtāpahārinah, samutthitān mahotpātān samhartum sarvarāksasān/ amī rudhiradhārās tu visrjantah kharasvanān, vyomni meghā vivartante parusā gardabhārunāh/ sadhūmāś ca śarāh sarve mama yuddhābhinandinah, rukmaprsthāni cāpāni vivestante ca laksmana/ yādrśā iha kūjanti paksino vanacārinah, agrato no bhayam prāptam samsayo jīvitasya ca/ samprahāras tu sumahān bhavişyati na samsayah, ayam ākhyāti me bāhuh sphuramāņo muhur muhuh/ samnikarşe tu nah śūra javam śatroh parājavam, suprabham ca prasannam ca tava vaktram hi laksvate/ udvatānām hi vuddhārtham vesām bhavati laksmanah, nisprabham vadanam tesām bhavatv āvuh pariksavah/ anāgatavidhānam tu kartavyam śubham icchatā, āpadam śankamānena puruṣeṇa vipaścitā/ tasmād grhītvā vaidehīm śarapānir dhanurdharah, guhām āśrayaśailasya durgām pādapasamkulām/ pratikūlitum iechāmi na hi vākyam idam tvayā, śāpito mama pādābhyām gamyatām vatsa māciram/evam uktas tu rāmena laksmanah saha sītayā, śarān ādāya cāpam ca guhām durgām samāśrayat/ tasmin praviste tu guhām laksmane saha sītayā, hanta niryuktam ity uktvā rāmah kavacam āvisat/ sā tenāgninikāśena kavacena vibhūṣitah, babhūva rāmas timire vidhūmo 'gnir ivotthitaḥ/ sa cāpam udyamya mahac charān ādāya vīryavān, babhūvāvasthitas tatra jyāsvanaih pūrayan diśah/ tato devāh sagandharvāḥ siddhāś ca saha cāraṇaiḥ, ūcuḥ paramasamtrastā guhyakāś ca parasparam/ caturdaśa sahasrāni raksasām bhīmakarmanām, ekaś ca rāmo dharmātmā katham vuddham bhavisvati/ tato gambhīranirhrādam ghoravarmāyudhadhvajam,anīkam yātudhānānām samantāt pratyadṛśyata/ simhanādam visrjatām anyonyam abhigarjatām, cāpāni vispharayatām jrmbhatām cāpy abhīkṣṇaśaḥ/ vipraghustasvanānām ca dundubhīm's cāpi nighnatām, tesām sutumulah sabdah pūrayām āsa tad vanam/ tena śabdena vitrastāh śvāpadā vanacārinah, dudruvur yatra nihśabdam pṛsthato nāvalokayan/ tat tv anīkam mahāvegam rāmam samupasarpata, ghrtanānāpraharanam gambhīram sāgaropamam rāmo 'pi cārayam's cakṣuḥ sarvato raṇapaṇḍitaḥ, dadar'sa kharasainyam tad yuddhābhimukham udyatam/ vitatya ca dhanur bhīmam tūṇyāś coddhṛtya sāyakān, krodham āhārayat tīvram vadhārtham sarvarakṣasām/ dusprekşyah so 'bhavat kruddho yugāntāgnir iva jvalan, tam dṛṣṭvā tejasāviṣṭam prāvyathan vanadevatāh/ tasya kruddhasya rūpam tu rāmasya dadrse tadā,dakṣasyeva kratum hantum udyatasya pinākinah/

Noticing several ominous premonitions coinciding the attack on ashram by countless Rakshas headed by Khara, Shri Rama addressed Lakshmana asking him to realise the tidings of forthcoming events revealing

their repercussions on the rakshasaas. The black clouds on the sky formed a view of a huge donkey formations in ash colour even as thunder storms were raining flows of red blood! 'Lakshmana! As the jungle birds are shrieking with unushal disturbed pithces, it looks disaster for rakshasaas. As your facial expression appears cool and placid and that indicates victory to us. Once a person looks uneasy he tends to shout to cover up fear and panic. Therefore get your 'dhanush baanaas' and then retire to a mountain cave along with Sita under a tree shade. Now, Lakshmana! Go away quickly. Indeed you do have the capability of facing the Rakshasaas no doubt, but I feel like teaching lessons to the Rakshasaas myself! Then Rama got his 'dhanush baanaas' ready and sounded the dhanush as a sure sign of being ready as the 'ashra dishas' got reverberated. tato devāh sagandharvāh siddhās ca saha cāranaih, ūcuh paramasamtrastā guhyakāś ca parasparam/ As Rama was ready in this manner to witness his battle single handed, Deva-Gandharva-Siddha and Chaaranas got collected on the skies. Further, Maharshis made announcements to let the lokas, go brahmanas and dharma be ever triumphant! The groups of the onlookers were discussing among themselves as to how one singular hero would face the attack of fourteen thousand desperate Rakshas. The celestial Beings like Siddha- Vidyadhaaraadis were seated in their respective vimanaas to watch the proceedings anxiously. Even as the celestials were watching keenly, the rakshasas advanced nearer to the ashram making earth shaking 'garjanas' while Rama was akin to angered Rudra Deva! He looked around to make a mental assessment while the Khara sena was like an overflowing, fierce ocean. tasya kruddhasya rūpam tu rāmasya dadrše tadā,daksasyeva kratum hantum udyatasya pinākinah/Then Devataas were excited as Shri Rama was like pinakadhari Maha Deva who was in burning rage to demolish Daksha Yagina!

Sarga Twenty Five

Rakshasaas attack Sri Rama, deva gandharva rishis apprehensive, but the invincible Shri Rama devastates thousands singlehandedly.

Avaştabdhadhanum rāmam kruddham ca ripughātinam,dadarśāśramam āgamya kharaḥ saha purahsaraih/ tam drstvā sagunam cāpam udvamva kharanihsvanam, rāmasvābhimukham sūtam codyatām ity acodayat/ sa kharasyājñayā sūtas turagān samacodayat, yatra rāmo mahābāhur eko dhunvan dhanuh sthitah/ tam tu nispatitam drstvā sarve te rajanīcarāh, nardamānā mahānādam sacivāh paryavārayan/ sa tesām yātudhānānām madhye rato gatah kharah, babhūva madhye tārānām lohitānga ivoditah/ tatas tam bhīmadhanvānam kruddhāh sarve niśācarāh, rāmam nānāvidhaih śastrair abhyavarsanta durjayam/ mudgarair āyasaih śūlaih prāsaih khadgaih paraśvadhaih, rāksasāh samare rāmam nijaghnū rosatatparāh/ te balāhakasamkāśā mahānādā mahābalāh, abhyadhāvanta kākutstham rāmam yuddhe jighāmsavaḥ/ te rāme śaravarṣāṇi vyasṛjan rakṣasām gunāh, śailendram iva dhārābhir varşamānā mahādhanāḥ/ sa taiḥ parivṛto ghorai rāghavo rakṣasām gaṇaiḥ, tithiṣv iva mahādevo vṛtaḥ pārisadām ganaih/ tāni muktāni śastrāni vātudhānaih sa rāghavah, pratijagrāha viśikhair nadvoghān iva sāgarah/ sa taih praharanair ghorair bhinnagātro na vivvathe, rāmah pradīptair bahubhir vajrair iva mahācalaḥ/ sa viddhaḥ kṣatajādigdhaḥ sarvagātreṣu rāghavaḥ, babhūva rāmaḥ samdhyābhrair divākara ivāvrtah/ visedur devagandharvāh siddhāś ca paramarsayah, ekam sahastrair bahubhis tadā drstvā samāvṛtam/ tato rāmah susamkruddho mandalīkṛtakārmukah, sasarja niśitān bānāñ śataśo 'tha sahasraśah/ durāvārān durvisahān kālapāśopamān rane, mumoca līlayā rāmah kankapatrān ajihmagān/ te śarāḥ śatrusainyeṣu muktā rāmeṇa līlayā, ādadū rakṣasām prāṇān pāśāḥ kālakṛtā iva, bhittvā rākṣasadehāms tāms te śarā rudhirāplutāh, antarikṣagatā rejur dīptāgnisamatejasah/ asamkhyeyās tu rāmasya sāyakāś cāpamaṇḍalāt, vinispetur atīvogrā rakṣaḥ prāṇāpahāriṇah/ tair dhanūmṣi dhvajāgrāṇi varmāṇi ca śirāmsi ca, bahūn sahastābharaṇān ūrūn karikaropamān/ tato nālīkanārācais tīkṣṇāgraiś ca vikarnibhih,bhīmam ārtasvaram cakrur bhidyamānā niśācarāh/ tat sainyam niśitair bānair arditam marmabhedibhih, rāmena na sukham lebhe śuskam vanam ivāgninā/ ke cid bhīmabalāh śūrāh śūlān khadgān paraśvadhān, cikṣipuḥ paramakruddhā rāmāya rajanīcarāh/ tāni bāṇair mahābāhuḥ śastrāny āvārva rāghavah, jahāra samare prānāms ciccheda ca sirodharān/ avasistās ca ve tatra visannās ca

niśācarāḥ, kharam evābhyadhāvanta śaraṇārtham śarārditāḥ/ tān sarvān punar ādāya samāśvāsya ca dūṣaṇaḥ, abhyadhāvata kākutstham kruddho rudram ivāntakaḥ/ nivrttās tu punaḥ sarve dūṣaṇāśrayanir - bhayāḥ, rāmam evābhyadhāvanta sālatālaśilāyudhāḥ/ tad babhūvādbhutam yuddham tumulam romaharṣaṇam, rāmasyāsya mahāghoram punas teṣām ca rakṣasām/

Khara rakshasa instructed his charioteer to keep the chariot right before Shgri Rama and made 'simha naada' with his conchshell. He rained thousands of arrows suddenly and so did the numberless Rakshasaas simultanously too. Besides some other rakshasaas attacked with steel shulas, mudgaraas, praasaas, khadgas and parashaas like continous rain flows. In fact they had surrounded him as he was lonely and the entirety of Deva-Siddha-Gandharva-Maharshis were badly concerned. Then Rama went into such rage as never before and straightened his dhanush as though it looked circular: Mumocha leelayaa kanka patraan kaanchana bhushanaan, te sharaah shatrusainyeshu muktaa raamena leelayaa, aadad rakshasaam praanaan paashaah kalakritaa iva/ Smilingly and playfully he released numberless golden arrows all around him and like 'kaala paasha' crafted the rakshaas as their bodies were pierced to death with blood streams flowing there around. The circular shaped dhanush of Rama released arrows in such a way that they were like flashes destroying thousands of the rakshasaa's dhvajas, kavachas, pairs of hands with their 'aabharanaas' and so on flying away and so were too their elephants and horses that they were riding on. There were reverberations of 'haa haa kaaraas' hitting the sky from the very many soldiers crumbling like packs of playing cards. Then the Commander in chief Dushana encouraged the soldiers to uproot maha vrikshas and attacked Rama suddenly; Taan sarvaan dhanuraadaaya samaashyaasya cha Dushanah, abyadhaayat su samkruddhah kruddhaam kruddha iyaantakah/ Encouraged by the support of Dushana, the neighbouring rakshassas sought to surround Rama and rained shulas-mudgaras-and paashaas. Maha Bali Rama made a bhirava naada and utilised 'gandharvaastra' by utilising which then directions were enveloped into darkness and the rakshaasa were able to see only Shri Rama only all around them all while busy releasing arrows incessantly. Nihataah patitaah ksheenaaschinnaa bhinnaavidaaritaah, tatra tatrasma drishyante raakshasaaste sahasrashah/ As far as one could visualise, there were lying dead bodies of thousands of rakshasaas were lying dead, or badly hurt, with hands and feet mutilated and even alive were either crying loudly or unble even to cry or semialive! Shri Rama's arrows pierced through heads slashed with headgears, flying hands, thighs and legs mutilated- chariots with wheels missing and killed horses, dhvajas, pieces of shulas, arrow bits, broken swords and shulaas and more frightening heaps of dead bodies all making a glimpse of Maha Narakas; the still alive groups of soldiers took to running backs for their lives.

Sarga Twenty Six

Senapati Dushana and thousands of rakshasaas devastated by all singular Shri Rama

Tad drumāṇām śilānām ca varṣam prāṇaharam mahat, pratijagrāha dharmātmā rāghavas tīkṣṇasāyakaiḥ/ pratigṛhya ca tad varam nimīlita ivarṣabhaḥ, rāmaḥ krodham param bheje vadhārtham sarvarakṣasām/ tataḥ krodhasamāviṣṭaḥ pradīpta iva tejasā, śarair abhyakirat sainyam sarvataḥ sahadūṣaṇam/ tataḥ senāpatiḥ kruddho dūṣaṇaḥ śatrudūṣaṇaḥ, jagrāha giriṣṛṅgābham parigham romaharṣaṇam/ veṣṭitam kāñcanaiḥ paṭṭair devasainyābhimardanam, āyasaiḥ śaṅkubhis tīkṣṇaiḥ kīrṇam paravasokṣitām/ vajrāśanisamasparśam paragopuradāraṇam, tam mahoragasamkāśam pragṛhya parigham raṇe, dūṣaṇo 'bhyapatad rāmam krūrakarmā niśācaraḥ/ tasyābhipatamānasya dūṣaṇasya sa rāghavaḥ, dvābhyām śarābhyām ciccheda sahastābharaṇau bhujau/ bhraṣṭas tasya mahākāyaḥ papāta raṇamūrdhani, parighaś chinnahastasya śakradhvaja ivāgrataḥ/ sa karābhyām vikīrṇābhyām papāta bhuvi dūṣaṇaḥ, viṣāṇābhyām viśīrṇābhyām manasvīva mahāgajaḥ/ dṛṣṭvā tam patitam bhūmau dūṣaṇam nihatam raṇe/ sādhu sādhv iti kākutstham sarvabhūtāny apūjayan/ etasminn antare kruddhās trayaḥ senāgrayāyinaḥ,samhatyābhyadravan rāmam mṛtyupāśāvapāśitāḥ, mahākapālaḥ sthūlākṣaḥ pramāthī ca mahābalah/ mahākapālo vipulam śūlam udvamva rāksasah, sthūlāksah pattiśam grhva pramāthī ca

paraśvadham/ dṛṣṭvaivāpatatas tāms tu rāghavaḥ sāyakaiḥ śitaiḥ, tīkṣṇāgraiḥ pratijagrāha samprāptān atithīn iva/ mahākapālasya śiraś ciccheda raghunanganaḥ, asamkhyeyais tu bāṇaughaiḥ pramamātha pramāthinam/ sthūlākṣasyākṣiṇī tīkṣṇaiḥ pūrayām āsa sāyakaiḥ, sa papāta hato bhūmau viṭapīva mahādrumaḥ/ tataḥ pāvakasamkāśair hemavajravibhūṣitaiḥ, jaghanaśeṣam tejasvī tasya sainyasya sāyakaiḥ/ te rukmapunkhā viśikhāḥ sadhūmā iva pāvakāḥ, nijaghnus tāni rakṣāmsi vajrā iva mahādrumān/ rakṣasām tu śatam rāmaḥ śatenaikena karṇinā, sahasram ca sahasreṇa jaghāna raṇamūrdhani/ tair bhinnavarmābharaṇāś chinnabhinnaśarāsanāḥ/ nipetuḥ śoṇitādigdhā dharaṇyām rajanīcarāḥ/ tair muktakeśaiḥ samare patitaiḥ śoṇitokṣitaiḥ, āstīrṇā vasudhā kṛtsnā mahāvediḥ kuśair iva/ kṣaṇena tu mahāghoram vanam nihatarākṣasam, babhūva niraya prakhyam māmsaśoṇitakardamam/ caturdaśa sahasrāṇi rakṣasām bhīmakarmaṇām, hatāny ekena rāmeṇa mānuṣeṇa padātinā/ tasya sainyasya sarvasya kharaḥ śeṣo mahārathaḥ, rākṣasas triśirāś caiva rāmaś ca ripusūdanaḥ/ tatas tu tad bhīmabalam mahāhave; samīkṣya rāmeṇa hatam balīyasā, rathena rāmam mahatā kharas tataḥ; samāsasādendra ivodyatāśaniḥ/

Senadhipati Dushana noticed that the maha rakshasa sena was getting very quickly devastated and the remaining some five thousand warriors were already developing a vicious psyche of running away from the battle. Rama resolved that in this very heat of the battle, he ought to erase the remanant sena too. Then he was insensed up with anger and resolve and attacked the Senapati Dushana with 'kshura naayaka' astra, destroyed his dhanush, utilised four arrows to kill his sarathi, and four horses, and three more arrows pierced through his chest. Then the Senapati who became lonely with neither Sarathi-nor horsesnor the chariot jumped out of the chariot along with a 'parigha' and attacked Rama. In that split second of time, Rama realised the danger and aimed a twosome arrows in one stragiht hit with which both the hands of Dushana were severed and fell down to earth. dṛṣṭvā taṁ patitaṁ bhūmau dūṣaṇaṁ nihataṁ rane/ sādhu sādhv iti kākutstham sarvabhūtāny apūjayan/ As Dushana the Commander in-chief of Khara Sena fell there were all round acclamations by the celestials and Maharshi ganaas to the hero Shri Rama. But, on seeing the quick manner that the senapati fell down, three of rakshasa yoddhhaas viz. Mahakapaala-Sthulaaksha-and Pramakshi got incensed up and assaulted Shri Rama. Rakshasa Mahakapala lifted his shula, Shtulaaksha his pattisha and Pramadhi his parashvagham. mahākapālasva śiraś ciccheda raghunanganah, asamkhyeyais tu bāṇaughaih pramamātha pramāthinam/ sthūlākṣasyākṣiṇī tīkṣṇaiḥ pūrayām āsa sāyakaiḥ, sa papāta hato bhūmau viṭapīva mahādrumaḥ/Shri Ramachandra severed Mahakapaala's head and 'kapaala' too. Pramathi proved tough and Rama had to use several arrows to pull out his skull while Sthulaakshi's eyes had to be piersed and extracted! Then Rama was in rage and had subjected five more rakshasaas in minutes and seconds to be desepatched to yamaloka. Dushanan nihitam shrutvaa tasya chaiva adaaugaan,vyaadidesha Kharah kruddhhah senaadhyakshaan mahabalaan, ayam vinihatah sankhye Dushanah sapadaanugah/ Mahatyaa senaaya saardhah yududhvaa Ramam kumaanusham, shastrai naanaa vidhaakaarahairhanadhvam sarva rakshasaah/ Khara maha raakshasa was livid fuming that Senapati was killed and addressed the remaining rakshasa pramukhas: Veera Rakshasaas! Most accidentally our Senapati was killed my a mere human being Rama! Desrtoy his machinations and kill him for ever as no human could ever be spared from the courage and daring valor of we Rakshasaas! Hence attack and slaughter him at once! So roaring like a mighty Lion he attacked Rama along with rakshasa warriors like Shyenagaami, Prithugreeva, Yagjna shatru, Vihamgama, Durjaya, Karaveeraaksha, Parusha, Kaalakaarmuka, Hemamaali, Mahamaali, Sarpasya and Rudhiraashana; these select maha rakshasa veeraas. raksasām tu śatam rāmah śatenaikena karninā, sahasram ca sahasrena jaghāna raṇamūrdhani/ tair bhinnavarmābharanāś chinnabhinna śarāsanāḥ/ nipetuḥ śoṇitādigdhā dharanyām rajanīcarāḥ/In that battle with the rakshasa champions, Rama utilised the 'Karni' named baanaastra which is capable of assuming hudred forms smashing and tearing down thousand rakshasaas simultanously; with the aid of such arrows the rakashasaas are destroyed along with their respective kavachas or shields-aabhhshanaas or ornaments-and their respective dhanushas too simultaneously and the so called maha rakshasaas were victims fallen to ground with flows of their body blood. caturdaśa sahasrāni rakṣasām bhīmakarmaṇām, hatāny ekena rāmeṇa mānuṣeṇa padātinā/ tasva sainvasva sarvasva kharah śeso mahārathah, rāksasas triśirāś caiva rāmaś ca

ripusūdanaḥ/Thus Manava rupadhari Shri Rama being single and singular had devastated as many as fourteen thousand rakshasaas and sealed their fate for ever, even as the <u>new senapati Trishira</u> encountered maha paraakrami Shri Rama.

Sarga Twenty Seven

Trishira- Khara Maha Rakshas's Senapati exterminated by Shri Rama

Kharam tu rāmābhimukham prayāntam vāhinīpatih, rāksasas triśirā nāma samnipatyedam abravīt/ mām niyojaya vikrānta samniyartasva sāhasāt, paśya rāmam mahābāhum samyuge vinipātitam/ pratijānāmi te satyam āyudham cāham ālabhe, yathā rāmam vadhisyāmi vadhārham sarvaraksasām/ aham vāsya rane mṛtyur esa vā samare mama, vinivartya ranotsāham muhūrtam prāśniko bhava/ prahṛsto vā hate rāme janasthānam prayāsyasi, mayi vā nihate rāmam samyugāyopayāsyasi/kharas triśirasā tena mṛtyulobhāt prasāditaḥ, gaccha yudhyety anujñāto rāghavābhimukho yayau/ triśirāś ca rathenaiva vājiyuktena bhāsvatā, abhyadravad rane rāmam triśrnga iva parvatah/ śaradhārā samūhān sa mahāmegha ivotsrjan, vyasrjat sadrśam nādam jalārdrasyeva dundubheh/ āgacchantam triśirasam rākṣasam prekṣya rāghavaḥ, dhanuşā pratijagrāha vidhunvan sāyakāñ śitān/ sa samprahāras tumulo rāma triśirasor mahān, babhūvātīva balinoh simhakuñjarayor iva/tatas triśirasā bānair lalāte tāditas tribhih, amarsī kupito rāmah samrabdham idam abravīt/ aho vikramaśūrasya rāksasasyedršam balam, puspair iva śarair yasya lalāṭe 'smi parikṣataḥ, mamāpi pratigrhnīṣva śarāmś cāpaguṇacyutān/ evam uktvā tu samrabdhaḥ śarān āśīviṣopamān, triśiro vakṣasi kruddho nijaghāna caturdaśa/ caturbhis turagān asya śaraiḥ samnataparva - bhiḥ, nyapātayata tejasvī caturas tasya vājinaḥ/aṣṭabhiḥ sāyakaiḥ sūtaṁ rathopasthe nyapātaya, rāmaś ciccheda bāṇena dhvajam cāsya samucchritam/ tato hatarathāt tasmād utpatantam niśācaram, bibheda rāmas tam bānair hṛdaye so 'bhayaj jadah' sāyakaiś cāprameyātmā sāmarsas tasya raksasah, śirāmsy apātayat trīni vegavadbhis tribhih śataih/ sa bhūmau śonitodgārī rāmabānābhipīditah, nyapatat patitaih pūrvam svaširobhir nišācarah/hatašesās tato bhagnā rāksasāh kharasamstrayāh, dravanti sma na tiṣṭhanti vyāghratrastā mṛgā iva/ tān kharo dravato dṛṣṭvā nivartya ruṣitaḥ svayam, rāmam evābhidudrāva rāhus candramasam yathā/

Out of bravdo and egotism, when the fate of the erstwhile senapati Dushana was killed by Shri Rama, maha rakshasa Trishira approached Khara and stated: Rakshasa Raja! do appoint me as the Senapati and see for yourself as to Rama a mere human ought to be fallen down dead to earth! Then as Bhagavan created this type of hallucination in his mind, Khara declared Trishira as the Senapati and instantly challenged in an encounter with Shri Rama. Trishira even entering the battle ground like thick clouds started off threatening heavy rains initiated megha garjana or the roars of clouds. sa samprahāras tumulo rāma triśirasor mahān, babhūvātīva balinoḥ simhakuñjarayor iva/tatas triśirasā bāṇair lalāṭe tāḍitas tribhiḥ, amarṣī kupito rāmaḥ samrabdham idam abravīt/ aho vikramaśūrasya rākṣasasyedṛśam balam, puspair iva śarair yasya lalāţe 'smi parikṣataḥ, mamāpi pratigṛhnīṣva śarāṁś cāpaguṇacyutān/ The encounter of Maha Balashaali Shri Rama and of Trishra were like that of a lion and an arrogant elephant. With his arrows initially, Trishira bound Rama's forehead with arrows somewhat hurting Rama unawares; the latter said: 'aho! You indeed are a 'shura veera Rakshasa'! you have hit my forehead with your arrows as with delicate flowers! Now you may receive a thread of flowers with thorns!' so retorting Rama aimed at Trishira's chest some fourteen arrows which were like frightening cobras; four arrows were aimed at four horses, eight arrows to put the charioteer to sleep, one to deateroy the dhvaja of the ratha, and one to the chariot. Then several arrows pierced through Trishira's chest. Then Aprameya swarupa Shri Rama severed the three heads of the Trishira Rakshasa. As soon as this was executed the gang of followers of Trishira were frighted and took to their wheels but no sooner this occurred, Khara entered the encounder against Shri Rama!

Sarga Twenty Eight

Nihatam dūşanam dṛṣṭvā rane triśirasā saha, kharasyāpy abhavat trāso dṛṣṭvā rāmasya vikramam/ sa drstvā rāksasam sainvam avisahvam mahābalam, hatam ekena rāmena dūsanas triśirā api/ tad balam hatabhūyiştham vimanāh prekṣya rākṣasaḥ, āsasāda kharo rāmam namucir vāsavam yathā/ vikṛṣya balavac cāpam nārācān raktabhojanān, kharaś cikṣepa rāmāya kruddhān āśīviṣān iva/ jyām vidhunvan subahuśaḥ śikṣayāstrāṇi darśayan, cacāra samare mārgāñ śarai rathagataḥ kharaḥ/sa sarvāś ca diśo bāṇaiḥ pradiśaś ca mahārathaḥ, pūrayām āsa tam dṛṣṭvā rāmo 'pi sumahad dhanuḥ/ sa sāyakair durvişahaih sasphulingair ivāgnibhih, nabhaś cakārāvivaram parjanya iva vṛṣṭibhih/ tad babhūva śitair bānaih khararāmavisarjitaih, paryākāśam anākāśam sarvatah śarasamkulam/ śarajālāvṛtah sūryo na tadā sma prakāśate, anyonyavadhasamrambhād ubhayoh samprayudhyatoh/ tato nālīkanārācais tīkṣṇāgraiś ca vikarṇibhiḥ, ājaghāna raṇe rāmam totrair iva mahādvipam/ tam rathastham dhanuṣpāṇim rākṣasam paryavasthitam, dadṛśuḥ sarvabhūtāni pāśahastam ivāntakam/ tam simham iva vikrāntam simhavikrāntagāminam, drstvā nodvijate rāmah simhah ksudramrgam vathā/ tatah sūrvanikāsena rathena mahatā kharah, āsasāda raņe rāmam patanga iva pāvakam/ tato 'sya saśaram cāpam mustideśe mahātmanaḥ, kharaś ciccheda rāmasya darśayan pāṇilāghavam/ sa punas tv aparān sapta śarān ādāya varmani, nijaghāna rane kruddhah śakrāśanisamaprabhān/ tatas tat prahatam bānaih kharamuktaih suparvabhih, papāta kavacam bhūmau rāmasyādityavarcasah/ sa śarair arpitah kruddhah sarvagātresu rāghavah,rarāja samare rāmo vidhūmo 'gnir iva jvalan/ tato gambhīranirhrādam rāmah śatrunibarhanah, cakārāntāya sa ripoh sajyam anyan mahad dhanuh/ sumahad vaiṣṇavam yat tad atisṛṣṭaṁ maharṣiṇā, varaṁ tad dhanur udyamya kharaṁ samabhidhāvata/ tataḥ kanakapuṅkhais tu śaraih samnataparvabhih, ciccheda rāmah samkruddhah kharasya samare dhvajam/ sa darśanīyo bahudhā vicchinnah kāñcano dhvajah, jagāma dharanīm sūryo devatānām ivājñayā/ tam caturbhih kharah kruddho rāmam gātresu mārganaih, vivyādha hṛdi marmajño mātaṅgam iva tomaraih/ sa rāmo bahubhir bānaih kharakārmukanihsrtaih, viddho rudhirasiktāngo babhūva rusito bhrśam/ sa dhanur dhanvinām śresthah pragrhya paramāhave, mumoca paramesvāsah sat śarān abhilaksitān/ śirasy ekena bānena dvābhvām bāhvor athārpayat, tribhis candrārdhayaktrais ca yaksasy abhijaghāna ha/ tatah paścān mahātejā nārācān bhāskaropamān, jighāmsū rākṣasam kruddhas trayodaśa śilāśitān/ tato 'sya yugam ekena caturbhiś caturo hayān, şasthena ca śiraḥ samkhye ciccheda kharasāratheḥ/ tribhis trivenum balavān dvābhyām aksam mahābalah, dvādasena tu bānena kharasya sasaram dhanuh, chittvā vajranikāśena rāghavah prahasann iva, trayodaśenendrasamo bibheda samare kharam/ prabhagna dhanvā viratho hatāśvo hatasārathih, gadāpānir avaplutya tasthau bhūmau kharas tadā/ tat karma rāmasya mahārathasya; sametya devāś ca maharsayaś ca, apūjayan prāñjalayah prahṛstās; tadā vimānāgragatāh sametāh/

Khara was rather perplexed at the way the best part of the army of rakshasaas besides the two intrepid Senapatis viz. Dushana and Trishira too and now he would have to fight with Rama face to face! This was like the battle recalling Namuchi and Indra Deva. [A rakshasa named Namuchi hid from Indra in the sun's rays. Indra approached Namuchi and said that he wouldn't kill Namuchi at night or day and with dry or wet weapons. When Namuchi came out, Indra used the surf of the ocean to behead Namuchi at dusk. Namuchi's head began chasing Indra accusing him of being a traitor. Indra approached Brahma, who said that bathing in Shonatheertha would rid him of the sin. Indra bathed in the Saraswati river and was freed.] Thus imagined Khara in his encounter with Shri Rama. Being an expert of Dhanur Vidya himself, the chariot riding Rakshasa Veera exhibited his skills in archery and was moving about with confidence. He then deftly covered up 'ashta dashaas' resulting in total darkness. sa sāyakair durviṣahaiḥ sasphulingair ivāgnibhiḥ, nabhaś cakārāvivaram parjanya iva vṛṣṭibhiḥ/ tad babhūva śitair bāṇaiḥ khararāmavisarjitaiḥ, paryākāśam anākāśam sarvataḥ śarasamkulam/ In reply, Ramachandra ignited the ashta dishas with the radiance of fire leaving no space to spare!Thus as a result, the totality of the sky was replete with the covers of arrows. As both the opponents were vying with each other, Surya Deva was

placed under a lid literally! Then Khara rakshasa despatched on Shri Rama the astras named Naaleekaand Naaraacha- like ankusha at the head of an elephant. But Rama having noticed that Khara was by now stressed and tired, assumed composure and coolness like a lion never would flustered before an antelope! But Khara having noticed Rama's casualness attacked Rama in his 'marma sthaana' or loins. Enraged at this, Rama then rained thousand arrows in a row while Khara roared with rage. Further, Khara's kayacha or body shield fell and several arrows pierced into his body. tato gambhīranirhrādam rāmaḥ śatrunibarhanah, cakārāntāya sa ripoh sajyam anyan mahad dhanuh/ sumahad vaiṣṇavam yat tad atisrstam maharsinā, varam tad dhanur udvamva kharam samabhidhāvata/Then Shri Rama called for the Vaishnava Dhanush which in the past was gifted by Maha Muni Agasthya at the latter's ashram. Having taken that dhanush to hand, Shri Rama attacked Khara and the arrow so released broke down Khara's 'ratha dhvaja'to earth. Recalling Khara's surreptitious attack on Rama's private part, the latter pierced Khara's chest with four arrows. The incensed Rakshasa felt helpless, even as Rama shot six arrows. Rathasya yugamekena chaturbhih shabalaan hayaan, shashthena cha shirah sankhya chicchheda Khara saaradhih/One arrow shattered the axis of the chariot, four the horses and the sixth the head of the charioteer. Then the subsequent twelve arrows were released of Ramachandra to destroy other belongings of the Maha Rakshasa and finally the thirteenth one hurt him grievously and he fell down to the earth by standing erect even then with his mace in his strong hands!

Sarga Twenty Nine

Exchange of heated arguments between Rama and Khara Rakshasa whose mace attack defended by Rama

Kharam tu viratham rāmo gadāpāṇim avasthitam, mṛdupūrvam mahātejāḥ paruṣam vākyam abravīt/ gajāśvarathasambādhe bale mahati tisthatā, kṛtam sudārunam karma sarvalokajugupsitam/udvejanīyo bhūtānām nṛśamsah pāpakarmakṛt, trayānām api lokānām īśvaro 'pi na tisthati/karma lokaviruddham tu kurvānam ksanadācara, tīksnam sarvajano hanti sarpam dustam ivāgatam/ lobhāt pāpāni kurvānah kāmād vā yo na budhyate, bhraṣṭaḥ paśyati tasyāntam brāhmanī karakād iva/ vasato dandakāranve tāpasān dharmacārinah, kim nu hatvā mahābhāgān phalam prāpsvasi rāksasa/na ciram pāpakarmānah krūrā lokajugupsitāh, aiśvarvam prāpva tisthanti śīrnamūlā iva drumāh/ avaśvam labhate kartā phalam pāpasya karmaṇaḥ,ghoram paryāgate kāle drumaḥ puṣpam ivārtavam/ nacirāt prāpyate loke pāpānām karmanām phalam, savisānām ivānnānām bhuktānām ksanadācara/ pāpam āccaratām ghoram lokasyāpriyam icchatām, aham āsādito rājā prānān hantum niśācara/adya hi tvām mayā muktāh śarāh kāñcanabhūsanāh, vidārya nipatisyanti valmīkam iva pannagāh/ ye tvayā dandakāranye bhaksitā dharmacārinah, tān adya nihatah samkhye sasainyo 'nugamisyasi/ adya tvām nihatam bānaih paśyantu paramarşayah, nirayastham vimānasthā ye tvayā himsitāh purā/ prahara tvam yathākāmam kuru yatnam kulādhama, adya te pātayisyāmi śiras tālaphalam yathā/ evam uktas tu rāmeņa kruddhah samraktalocanah, pratyuvāca tato rāmam prahasan krodhamūrchitah/ prākṛtān rākṣasān hatvā yuddhe daśarathātmaja, ātmanā katham ātmānam apraśasyam praśamsasi/ vikrāntā balavanto vā ve bhavanti nararsabhāh, kathavanti na te kim cit tejasā svena garvitāh/prākrtās tv akrtātmāno loke kṣatriyapāmsanāḥ, nirarthakam vikatthante yathā rāma vikatthase/ kulam vyapadiśan vīraḥ samare ko 'bhidhāsyati, mrtyukāle hi samprāpte svayam aprastave stavam/ sarvathā tu laghutvam te katthanena vidarśitam, suvarnapratirūpena tapteneva kuśāgninā/ na tu mām iha tisthantam paśyasi tvam gadādharam, dharādharam ivākampyam parvatam dhātubhiś citam/ paryāpto 'ham gadāpānir hantum prāṇān raṇe tava, trayāṇām api lokānām pāśahasta ivāntakaḥ/ kāmam bahv api vaktavyam tvayi vakṣyāmi na tv aham,astam gacched dhi savitā yuddhavighras tato bhavet/ caturdaśa sahasrāṇi rākṣasānām hatāni te, tvadvināśāt karomy adya teṣām aśrupramārjanam/ ity uktvā paramakruddhas tām gadām paramāngadām, kharaś cikṣepa rāmāya pradīptām aśanim yathā/kharabāhupramuktā sā pradīptā mahatī gadā, bhasmavrksāms ca gulmāms ca krtvāgāt tatsamīpatah tām āpatantīm įvalitām mṛtyupāśopamām gadā,antariksagatām rāmaś ciccheda bahudhā śaraih/ sā viśīrnā śarair bhinnā papāta dharanītale, gadāmantrauṣadhibalair vyālīva vinipātitā/

As Khara rakshasa was thrown from his devastated chariot and standing on ground with a mace in hand, Shri Rama whose characteristic tone was of softness, stated sternly: Nishaachara! Seated on a chariot with vast sena around, you had perpetrated countless acts of evil and extreme cruel acts openly so far and was subjected to extensive 'loka ninda' or public hatred. lobhāt pāpāni kurvāṇaḥ kāmād vā yo na budhyate, bhrastah paśvati tasyāntam brāhmanī karakād iva/ As any thing becomes unavailable, that is named 'kaama' or desire; once unavailable that deep desire is termed as 'lobha' or avarice. That lobha leads to 'vinasha' or disaster. Contrarily, sinfulness confers regaling joy or vicarious pleasure like a consuming sweetness of poison and that indeed ends up the very life's existence. [Bhagayad Gita is quoted: Dhaayato Vishayaan Pumsah sangasteshoopajaayate, sangaatsanjaayate kaamah kaamaat krodhobhi jaayate, sangaatsanjaayate kaamah kaamaat krodhobhijaayate/krodhaadbhayati sammohah sammohat smriti vibhramah, smriti bhramshaah buddhi naashah buddhi naashaat pranashyati/ Every being is subject to desires; if the desires are not fulfilled, there would be disappointment and eventual frustration; this further shapes up as anger which results in lack of the mental poise and imbalance.; Further: Kaama esha krodha esha rajoguna samudbhavah, mahaashano mahaa paapmaa viddyenamiha vairinam/Itis assetsed that kaama or excessive desire is due to rajoguna and the resultant krodha or anger are the seeds of sins. These two features are the seeds of sinful acts.] Rakshasa! By killing the 'dharmaparaayana Munis' in dandakaaranya is surely the result of your sinfulness. Like a 'maha vriksha' with dried up bark inside is to crumble sooner or later, an evil person is certain to disaster any way! avasyam labhate kartā phalam pāpasya karmanah,ghoram paryāgate kāle drumah puspam ivārtavam/ nacirāt prāpyate loke pāpānām karmaṇām phalam, saviṣāṇām ivānnānām bhuktānām kṣaṇadācara/ pāpam āccaratām ghoram lokasyāpriyam icchatām, aham āsādito rājā prānān hantum niśācara/ Just as a tree gets flowered and yields fruits as per the season, the persons steeped in sinful acts would most cretainly reap the fruits. Like the effect of consuming poisonous food is quick to follow. Rakshasa! As the extreme limits of sinfulness are reached, my father King Dasharatha directed me to stay for vana vaasa and yield retribution against the ripened sinners like you. Now the golden arrow to be released by me should break into the most poisonous snake pit of your existence and shatter your body and fly away to pataala by quaking the earth on tremors for universal peace and riddance of sinfulness. Like the toture that you had subjected to the Munis shall most certainly get retributed as apt punishment in doubled up measure as the root base of the evilful perpetration! Those departed Munis while you tortured then should now while flying to heavens the last laugh as you should now face death by my poisonous arrows landings in narakas as the well deserved retribution of justice. As Rama lectured likewise, Khara Rakshasa was ignited with rage and stated: Dasharatha Kumara! Even by killing away substandard common rakshasaas you are becoming boastful. Those high standard heros do not get puffed up with indulgences and keep boasting but keep silent and poised. kulam vyapadiśan vīrah samare ko 'bhidhāsyati, mṛtyukāle hi samprāpte svayam aprastave stavam/ sarvathā tu laghutvam te katthanena vidarśitam, suvarnapratirūpena tapteneva kuśāgninā/ Who indeed becomes boastful of 'kuleenata' or of family background when death beckons him. As brass and gold are simultaneously placed on fire to melt then the black emerges at once and hence self emulations would hardly cover up one's bravado and timidity! Don't you realise that I am standing just before me with my mace in my grip, like Yama the God of Death as I possess the capability to exterminate you instantly! You claim to have killed fourteen thousand rakshasaas and now is the time to avenge that 'bravery'. So affirming, Khara Rakshasa attacked Rama providing fitting replies to the raging torrents of Rama's continous rains of arrows of high voltage! He threw the mace at Rama. tām āpatantīm įvalitām mrtyupāsopamām gadā, antariks agatām rāmas ciccheda bahudhā śaraih/ sā viśīrṇā śarair bhinnā papāta dharaṇītale, gadāmantrauṣadhibalair vyālīva vinipātitā/ As the mace approached Rama like Mrityu Paasha crossing massive trees and plants, Shri Rama had literally rained his arrows and even when it was high at the sky was smashed into bits and pieces like a huge serpent fell down as if it was mesmerised with the might and spell of maha mantras and aushadhis!

Sarga Thirty

Shri Rama the action hero hits Khara Rakshasa to death and affirms victory celebrated by Celestials and Rishis

Bhittvā tu tām gadām bānai rāghavo dharmavatsalah, smayamānah kharam vākyam samrabdham idam abravīt/ etat te balasarvasvam daršitam rāksasādhama, šaktihīnataro matto vrthā tvam upagarjitam/ esā bānavinirbhinnā gadā bhūmitalam gatā, abhidhānapragalbhasya tava pratyayaghātinī/ yat tvayoktam vinastānām idam aśrupramārjanam, rāksasānām karomīti mithyā tad api te vacah/ nīcasya ksudraśīlasya mithyāvṛttasya rakṣasaḥ, prāṇān apaharisyāmi garutmān amṛtam yathā/ adya te bhinnakaṇṭhasya phenabudbudabhūṣitam, vidāritasya madbāṇair mahī pāsyati śoṇitam/ pāmsurūṣitasarvāṅgaḥ srastanyastabhujadyayah, svapsyase gām samāślisya durlabhām pramadām iva/prayrddhanidre śavite tvayi rākṣasapāmsane,haviṣyanty aśaraṇyānām śaraṇyā dandakā ime/ janasthāne hatasthāne tava rākṣasamaccharaiḥ, nirbhayā vicariṣyanti sarvato munayo vane/ adya viprasariṣyanti rākṣasyo hatabāndhavāh, bāspārdravadanā dīnā bhayād anyabhayāvahāh/ adya śokarasajñās tā bhavisyanti niśācara, anurūpakulāh patnyo yāsām tvam patir īdrśah/ nrśamsaśīla ksudrātman nityam brāhmana kantaka, tvatkṛte śaṅkitair agnau munibhih pātyate havih/ tam evam abhisamrabdham bruvānam rāghavam rane, kharo nirbhartsayām āsa rosāt kharatara svanah/ dṛdham khalv avalipto 'si bhayesv api ca nirbhayah, vācyāvācyam tato hi tvam mṛtyuvaśyo na budhyase/ kālapāśaparikṣiptā bhavanti puruṣā hi ye, kāryākāryam na jānanti te nirastaṣaḍindriyāh/ evam uktvā tato rāmam samrudhya bhṛkuṭim tatah, sa dadarśa mahāsālam avidūre niśācarah/ rane praharanasyārthe sarvato hy avalokayan, sa tam utpātayām āsa samdršya daśanacchadam/ tam samutksipya bāhubhyām vinarditvā mahābalah, rāmam uddišya cikṣepa hatas tvam iti cābravīt/ tam āpatantam bāṇaughaiś chittvā rāmaḥ pratāpavān, roṣam āhārayat tīvram nihantum samare kharam/ jātasvedas tato rāmo roṣād raktāntalocanaḥ, nirbibheda sahasreṇa bāṇānām samare kharam/ tasya bāṇāntarād raktam bahu susrāva phenilam, gireḥ prasravaṇasyeva toyadhārāparisravaḥ/ vihvalaḥ sa kṛto bāṇaiḥ kharo rāmeṇa samyuge, matto rudhiragandhena tam evābhyadravad drutam/ tam āpatantam samrabdham krtāstro rudhirāplutam, apasarpat pratipadam kim cit tvaritavikramah/ tatah pāvakasamkāśam badhāva samare śaram, kharasva rāmo jagrāha brahmadaṇḍam ivāparam/ sa tad dattam maghavatā surarājena dhīmatā, samdadhe ca sa dharmātmā mumoca ca kharam prati/ sa vimukto mahābāno nirghātasamanihsvanah, rāmena dhanur udyamya kharasyorasi cāpatat/ sa papāta kharo bhūmau dahyamānah śarāgninā, rudrenaiva vinirdagdhah śvetāranye yathāndhakaḥ/ sa vṛṭra iva vajreṇa phenena namucir yathā, balo vendrāśanihato nipapāta hataḥ kharaḥ/ tato rājarṣayaḥ sarve samgatāḥ paramarṣayaḥ, sabhājya muditā rāmam idam vacanam abruvan/ etadartham mahātejā mahendrah pākaśāsana, śarabhangāśramam punyam ājagāma puramdarah/ānītas tvam imam deśam upāvena maharsibhih, esām vadhārtham krūrānām raksasām pāpakarmanām/ tad idam nah krtam kāryam tvavā daśarathātmaja, sukh dharmam carisvanti dandakesu maharşayah/ etasminn antare vīro lakşmaṇah saha sītayā, giridurgād vinişkramya samviveśāśramam sukhī/ tato rāmas tu vijayī pūjyamāno maharsibhih, praviveśāśramam vīro laksmanenābhivāditah/ tam drstvā śatruhantāram maharsīnām sukhāvaham, babhūva hrstā vaidehī bhartāram parisasvaje/

As Rama's 'baana varsha' necessitated the huge mace fell down and dashed down into fragmented smithereens, he stated: 'Raakshaadhama! Is this all your bravado with which you have now displayed! You imagined that this 'gadaa' of yours should destroy your enemy but that itself is bringing you your death. You longed that killing me should assuage of the remnant followers of yours and their cryings but that was not to be! nīcasya kṣudraśīlasya mithyāvṛttasya rakṣasaḥ, prāṇān apahariṣyāmi garutmān amṛtam yathā/ adya te bhinnakaṇṭhasya phenabudbudabhūṣitam, vidāritasya madbāṇair mahī pāsyati śoṇitam/ You neecha-kshudra swabhava-midhyaachaari raakshasa or the lowly- evil minded- ignoramous devil! Now I shall puncture your body, slit your throat,and let the earth lap up your hot blood.May your body parts get sullied with mud, your shoulders be seperated from your body and in such sordid state, let earth embrace you for ever! Let the 'rakshasa kula kalanka' or the blemishful generation of rakshasaas be put to permanent sleep so that dandakaaranya should be a refugee point of the remnant rakshasaas.

Rakshasa! Now that my arrows are destroying you residential facility of the remnant rakshasaas, the Muni ganaas should now onward be free to move about fearlessly; on the other hand the rakshasaas who moved about all over the dandakaaranya with full and unfettered freedom should now on move about sheepishly! Oh, cruel nishaachara! Your mind, thoughts and heart had been replete with crooked and mean bubbles of effervescence. Brahmanaas and Munis had so far been performing offerings of 'havishaanna' to Agni stealthily out of fear of attacks by rakshasaas.' As Rama heckled Khara rakshasa most critically thus: ' Aho! Truly Rama, you are arrogant now and are covering fear out of bravado! You have lost the spirit of discretion and are blabbering what to say and what not to! Persons who lose their mental balance speak what to say and what not to with prudence and maturity' Then Khara Rakshasa looked around and found in the vicinity a dried up maha vriksha, pulled it out by the might of his teeth and threw it most desperately and forcefully and shouted: 'Look! You should die!' Rama with tremendous presence of mind dodged but had perspiration all over his body but in return out of rage shot thousand arrows in a straight row and the Maha Rakshasa Khara fell down as his blood gushed out in floods-like manner, even as jumped out of the streams. Even so Khara was not killed yet and hence Rama took up a fire ball like arrow which made a thunderous sound as was shot straight at Khara's chest as his body fell on earth! No sooner that he fell down than the Deva -Chaanura ganas were rejoiced, sounded drums, rained flowers from the high skies and exclaimed: Aho bata mahatkarma Ramasya viditaatmanah, aho veeryamaho daardhyam vishnoriva hi drisyayete/ Aah!Rama who is aware of what has to be done, has done to perfection being the most astonishing act like Maha Vishnu himself with confidence and valor undreamt of! Subsequently Agastya and other distinguished Maha Munis got collected and praised Rama: 'Dasharatha nandana! Now henceforth we are free and fearless to carry on our 'nityha anushthaanaas' on peace and concentration. Later on Shri Rama was venerated by Lakshmana while Vaideharaja nandine Devi Sita embraced Rama with joyful tears in her eyes. .

Sarga Thirty One

Akampana Rakshasa reaches Ravanasura to Lanka and poisons the latter's mind hatch a vicious plot to lure Devi Sita by a deer impersonted by Mareecha

Tvaramaanastato gatvaa janasthaana kampanah, praviushya lankaam vegena Raavanam vaakyamabraveet/ Janasthaana sthitaa raajan raakshasaa bahavo hataah, Kharascha nihatah sankhye kadamchidahmaagatah/ Evamukto Dashagreevah kruddhhah samraktalochanah, akampanamuvaa chedam nidarhanniva tejasaa/ Kena bheemam janasthaanam hatam mama paraasunaa, ko hi sarveshu lokeshu gatim naadhigamishyati/ Nahime viprayam kritvaa shakyam Maghavataa sukham, praaptum vashravanonaapi na yamena cha vishnunaa/ Kaalasya chaapyaham Kaalo daheyamapi paavakam, mrityum marana dharmena samyojayitumutsahe/ vaatasya tarasaa vegam nihantumapi chotsahe, daheyamapisamkruddhastejasaaditya paavakou/ tathaa kruddhham dashagreevam kritaanjalira kampanaah/ putro dasharadhasyaaste simhasimhanano yuvaa, raamo naamamahaaskandho vrittaayata mahaa bhujah/ shyaamah prithu yashaah shrimaanatulyabala vikramah, hatastena janasthaane kharascha saha dushanah/akampanavachah shrutvaa raavano raakshaasaadhipah, naagenra iva nihshvasya idam vachanamabraveet/sa sureendrena samyukto raamah sarvaamaraih saha,upayaato janasthaanam bruuhi kacchida kampan/Ravanasya puraryaakyam nishamya tadkampanah, aach chakshe balam tasya vikraamcha mahatmanah/ramo naama maha tejaah shreshthah sarva dhanusmataam, divyaastra guna sampannah param dharmam gato yudhi/ tasyaanurupo balavaan raktaaksho dudubhissyanah, kaneeyaam lakshmano bhraataa raakaashashi nibhaananah/ sa ten saha samyuktah

paavakenaanilo yathaa, shrimaan rajavatastena jana samsthaanah nipaatitam/naiva devaa mahatmaano naatra karyaa vichaaranaa, sharaa raamena tutsrushtha rukmapungaah patatrinah, sarpaah panchaananaa bhutvaa bhakshayanti sma raakshasaan/ yena yena cha gacchhanti raakshasaa bhayakarshitaah, tena tena sma pashyanti raamameyaagratah sathitam, ityam vinaashitam tena janasthaanam tavaanagha/ akamyanvachah shrutvaa raavano hantu salakshanam/ athaikamukto vachane provaachamakampanah, shrunu raajan yathaavrittam raamasya balapourusham/ asaadhyah kupito raamo vikramena mahaashayaah, aapagaayastu purnayaa vegam parihareccharaih, sa taaraagrah nakshatram nabhaschaapyavasaadayet/ asou raamastu seedanteem shrimaanabhyuddharen maheem, bhitvaa velaam samudrasya lokaanaaplaavayed vibhuh, vegam vaapi samudrasya vaayum vaa vidhimecchharaih/ samhatya vaa punarlokaan vikramena mahaashashyaah, shaktah shreshthah sa purushah strashtum punarapi prajaah/ naahi raamo dashagreeva shakyo jetum rane tvayaa, rakshasaam vaapi lokena swargah paapajanairiva/ na tam vadhyamaham manye sarvairdevaasurairapi, ayam tasya vadhopaayastanmaikamanaah shrunu/ bharyaa tasyotthamaa loke sitaa naama sumathyamaa,shyaama sama vibhaktaangee stree ratnam ratna bhushitaa/ naiva devee na gandharvom naapsaraa nacha pannagee, tulyaa seemantanee tasyaa maanushee tu kuto bhavet/ tasyaapahara bharyaam twam tam prathamya maha vane,seetaayaa rahito raamo na chaiva hi bhavishyati/ arochayat tadvaakyam raanano raakshasaadhipah, chintayitwaa maha baahur kampanavuvaacha ha/ baadham kalyam gamishyaami hyokah saarathinaa saha, aaneshyaami cha vaideheemamaam drushto mahaa pureem/ tadevamuktaa prayayyou kharayuktena raavanah, rathevaaditya varnena dishah sarvaah prakaashayan/ sa doore chaashramam gatvaa taatakeyamupaagamat, maareechinaarchito rajaa bhakshya bhojyarmaanushaih/ tam swayam pujaitvaa tu aasanonenodakena cha, arthopahitayaa vaachaa maareecho vaakyamabraveet/ kanchit sa kushalam raagjnajjvolakaanaam raakshasaadhipa, aashanke naadhijaane tvam yatastuurnam -upaagatah/ Evamukto mahaa tejaa maareechena sa raavanah, tatah panchaadidam vaakyamabraveed vaakya kovidah/ aaraksho me hatastaat raamenaklishtakaarinaa, janasthaanamavadhyam tat sarvam yudhi nipaatitam/ tasyame kuru saachivyam tasya bharyaapihaarine, rakshasendravachah shrutvaa maareecho vaakyamabraveet/ aakhyaataa knavaa seetaa mitrarupena shatrunaa, tvayaa raakshasa shaardula ko na nandati ninditah/ seetaamihaanayasveti ko braveeti braveehime, raksholokasya sarvasya kah shrunga cchetumicchati/ protsaahayati yaschatvaam sa cha shatru samshayam, aasheevishamukhaad damshtraamadbhutum checchit tvayaa/ karmanaanena kenaasi kaapatham pratimaadiah, sukhasuptasya te raajan prahatam kena moorthani/ vishuddhavamshaabhi janaagrast tejomidah samsthitadorvishaanah, vudeekshitum raavana neha yuktah, sa samyuge raaghavagandhahastee/ Asou ranaantah sthitisamdhi vaalo vidagdha raksho mrigah nrisimhah, suptastvayaa bodhayitum na shakyah sharaangapurnom nishitaasidamshtrah./ Chaapaapahare bhujavega pagke sharirmimaale sumahaahavoughe, na raama paataala mukhetighore, praskanditum raakshasaaaja yuktam/ Praseeda lankeshewara raakshsendra, lankaam prasanno bhava saadhu gahhcca/ tvam sveshu daareshu ramasva nityam, raamah sabharyo ramataam vaneshu/ ekamukto dashagreevo maareechenasa raavanah, navyavartat pureem lankaam viveshacha gruhottamam/

Akampana carried the heavy and extremely sad news of the mighty Khara Rakshasa having been killed by Rama and some how he himself escaped death himself. Dashamukha Ravana got furious at the sad end of Maha Veera Khara and shouted: Who is this Rama who dared to kill Khara! Even Indra, Yama, Kubera and even Vishnu could not withstand my power and glory! I am the Kaala to Kaala and am capable of jolting mrityu on its face and even Agni could be subdued by me if I were to to be enraged. I could change the direction of Vayu and control Surya and turn Agni into ashes if annoyed! As Ravana was enraged like this, Akampana was stilled and afraid of stating any further. Then Ravana cooked down

somewhat and showed 'abhaya hasta' and say further. Then Akampana then most politely submitted: ' Rakshasa Raja! King Dasharatha's elder son Rama had been staying in Panchavati. He is of the build of a lion, with broad shoulders, tall and of semi blueish colour looking smart and courageous; he had just a few days ago killed fourteen thousand rakshasa veeraas and even the Maha Parakrami Khara. As he repeated this statement once again, Ravana hissed like a huge serpent and breathed heavily with subdued rage and exclaimed: tell me had Rama come along with Indra and Devas! The reply was: 'Lankeshwara! This Rama was acclaimed as the world's superior most dhanur vidya praveena and is used to utilise all types of celestial archery and a battle expert who is a lone fighter. He has a younger brother named Lakshmana who too had been an equal and brave warrior too. Together they are a huge menace at this Janathaana the dandakranya and devastate the rakshasaas mercilessly like agni and vaayu. The Rakshasaas are no longer have a free movement and Rama alone hounds and kills rakshasaas in all direc tions: Yena yena cha gacchhanti raakshasaa bhayakarshitaah, tena tena sma pashyanti Ramameyaa gratah sthitam, ithyam vinaashitam tena janasthaanam tavvagha! Mahaasura! Even as the rakshasaas seek to move about, at that very spot, these humans are ready to snipe! And this manner the janasthaana has become a free target to the rakshasaas!' Then Ravanaasura asserted: 'I will visit that place straight away.' Then Akampana politely replied: Rakshasa Raja! may I now explain to you the 'Purushardhaas' to you a little further: Once Rama gets angry, he becomes uncontrollable and would keep on showering arrows as though he could reverse the flows of a rushing river and could place the stardom rid of the sky. He could lift up earth from deep seas! By his singular effort, he might devastate lokas and rebuild them too! Dashagreeva! Just as a contant sinner could not adminster the swarga loka, the totality of the world of raakshasa jagat could not defeat the singular Rama in the art of archery. na tam yadhyamaham manye sarvairdevaasurairapi, ayam tasya yadhopaayastanmaikamanaah shrunu/ bharyaa tasyotthamaa loke sitaa naama sumathyamaa,shyaama sama vibhaktaangee stree ratnam ratna bhushitaa/ In my careful and considered view Ravana prabho, even a combination of Devatas and Rakshaaas together too might not bring Rama to control, but I have a neat plan which you must become aware of! Shri Ramas's wife who is a symbol of beauty and grace which is well adorned by famed jewellery is an extraordinary jewel herself! Deva kanyaas, Gandharva kanyas or even Naga kanyas would not be able to compete her personality and charm, let alone manushya strees! Tasyaapahara bharyaam tyam tam pramathya mahaa yane, Seetayaa rahito Ramo na chaiva hi bhavishyati/ In this huge dandakaaranya, we should trap Rama somehow and cleverly steal away Sita so that his life should be made miserable to such an extent of ending up his very life! As Akampana advised Rayana thus, the latter readily appreciated this masterly plan. Then he agreed to reach Rama's panchavati next morning itself. Then he rode by his chariot driven by donkeys and left the place as he then looked like the shine of full moon driving through blue louds. Then he straight away reached the abode of Mareecha who welcomed with bakshya bhojyas. He then addressed Mareecha that Rama exterminated Khara Dushanaas heading a massive army and that he should like to avenge that deed; he stated further that he would like to seek Mareecha's assistance by stealthily take away Rama's wife named Devi Sita. But Mareecha was none too ready for this extremely hazardous plan as he did have the exeperience and placing his life at stake and reacted sharply at its face value and asked Ravana as to who gave such a perilous suggestion as Rama was invincible and the plan ought to be suicidal indeed!

[Reference: Essence of Vaalmiki Baala Khanda is recalled about Maricha Subahu rakshasa brothers-Sarga Thirty: Brahmarshi Vishvamitra s approached by Rama Lakshmanas to explain them vividly as to how and when the Rakshasaas were in the habit of destroying the yagjni karyas of the tapasvees in the ashrama. Then the ashramavaasi rishis near Vishvamitra replied that Maharshi Vishvamitra had already assumed 'mouna vrata' for six days,and thus Rama Lakshmanas would need to be extremely vigilant for six nights long and safeguard from the attacks of the 'nishaacharaas'. Accordingly Rama Lakshmanas being alert 'dhanurdharaas' had been vigilant standing just by the side of the Maharshi. As 'agni jvalaas' came up initiated by 'Upaadhyaaya' or of the role of Brahma- 'Purohita' of the role of Upadrashtha, the flames went up too high as a forewarning indicators of the enrty of the rakshasaas. Then Vishvamitra along with the Ritvijas initiated the 'aahananeeyaagni' *Mantravac ca yathānyāyam yajño 'sau sampravartate, ākāśe ca mahāñ śabdaḥ prādur āsīd bhayānakaḥ/ āvārya gaganam megho yathā prāvṛṣi</code>*

nirgataḥ, tathā māyām vikurvāṇau rākṣasāv abhyadhāvatām/ mārīcaś ca subāhuś ca tayor anucarās tathā, āgamya bhīmasamkāśā rudhiraughān avāṣṛjan/ As the resonance of the mantras recited in a pitch increased, there came up the high sounds on the sky with reverberations and dark clouds reflected the massive figures of rakshasaas named Maareecha and Subaahu and initiated pourings of blood from the high skies, even as groups of other rakshasaas started yelling and joined the task of pouring blood. Rama then addressed Lakshmana and stated that the rakshasaas had now arrived and both the Kumaras pitched up their arrows reciting the relevant mantras of 'Maanavaastra'. The arrow from Shri Rama was shot at and pierced Maricha's chest and the latter was farflung by hundred yojanas into the depths of the Sea. Smilingly, Rama told Lakshmana that this Mantra of 'Manavasatra' had only helped to faint and farflung Maricha but now let 'agneyastra' be released so that the other mighty Subaahu be killed for good! So saying as Subahu was killed, the rest of the raakshasas fled away for good never ever to return. This was how Raghunandana Shri Rama got rid of all the rakshasa elements of evil energies wantonly spoiling the dharmic duties of yagjna karyas by Munis for a very long time. The grateful indwellers of the Ashram praised Rama Lakshmanas under the supreme leadership of Brahmarshi Vishvamitra himself.]

Thus Mareecha had already had the taste of Rama banaa the hard hitting manner!! So Maricha exclaimed to Ravanasura: Lankeshwara! Who was indeed who advised you to surruptitiously take away Devi Sita from Rama! Was he an adviser in the garb of a friend truly! Ravana! Ragavendra Rama is like and elephant like warrior very mature and steady and not an upstart and an il concieved advice is like an ignorand who his one's own head like a hard srick for no reason or provocation! Shri Rama is a massive lion among human beigns, and make no mistake as the risk involved is is frightening and invitable! Loleshwara! As the risk involved is crystal clear I should earnestly make an appeal to you is disastrous and suicidal! Ravana kept cool ar Mareecha's advice and returned!

SargaThirty Two

Shurpanakha hurt physically with mutilated ears and nose arrives grievously reaches at Ravana Sabha:

Tataḥ śūrpaṇakhā dṛṣṭvā sahasrāṇi caturdaśa, hatāny ekena rāmeṇa rakṣasām bhīmakarmaṇām/ dūṣaṇam ca kharam caiva hatam triśirasam rane,dṛṣṭvā punar mahānādam nanāda jaladopamā/ sā dṛṣṭvā karma rāmasya kṛtam anyaiḥ suduṣkaram, jagāma paramaudvignā laṅkām rāvaṇapālitām/ sa dadarśa vimānāgre rāvaṇam dīptatejasam, upopaviṣṭam sacivair marudbhir iva vāsavam/ āsīnam sūryasamkāśe kāñcane paramāsane, rukmavedigatam prājyam įvalantam iva pāvakam/ devagandharvabhūtānām ṛṣīṇām ca mahātmanām, ajeyam samare śūram vyāttānanam ivāntakam/ devāsuravimardeşu vajrāśanikṛtavraṇam, airāvataviṣāṇāgrair utkṛṣṭakiṇavakṣasam/Dvimshad bhujam dashagreevam darshaneea paricchhitam, vishala vakshasam veeram raaja lakshana lakshitam/ Nadhvaidurya samkaasham ptaptakanchana bhushanam, subhujam shukladashanam mahaasyam parvatopamam/ visnucakranipātaiś ca śataśo devasamyuge, āhatāngam samastaiś ca devapraharanais tathā/akşobhyāṇām samudrāṇām kşobhaṇam kṣiprakāriṇam, kṣeptāram parvatāgrāṇām surāṇām ca pramardanam/ ucchettāram ca dharmāṇām paradārābhimarśanam, sarvadivyāstrayoktāram vajñavighnakaram sadā/ purīm bhogavatīm gatvā parājitva ca vāsukim,taksakasva privām bhārvām parājitya jahāra yah/ kailāsam parvatam gatvā vijitya naravāhanam, vimānam puspakam tasya kāmagam vai jahāra yah/ vanam caitraratham divyam nalinīm nandanam vanam, vināśayati yah krodhād devodvānāni vīrvavān/candrasūrvau mahābhāgāv uttisthantau paramtapau, nivāravati bāhubhvām vah śailaśikharopamah/ daśavarṣasahasrāṇi tapas taptvā mahāvane, purā svayambhuve dhīraḥ śirāṃsy upajahāra yah/ devadānavagandharvapiśācapatagoragaih, abhayam yasya samgrāme mṛtyuto mānusād rte/ mantrar abhitustam punyam adhvareşu dvijātibhiḥ, havirdhāneşu yaḥ somam upahanti

mahābalaḥ/āptayajñaharam krūram brahmaghnam duṣṭacāriṇam, karkaśam niranukrośam prajānām ahite ratam, rāvaṇam sarvabhūtānām sarvalokabhayāvaham/ rākṣasī bhrātaram krūram sā dadarśa mahābalam, tam divyavastrābharaṇam divyamālyopaśobhitam,rākṣasendram mahābhāgam paulastya kulanandanam/ tam abravīd dīptaviśālalocanam; pradarśayitvā bhayamohamūrchitā., sudāruṇam vākyam abhītacāriṇī;

As Rama killed fourteen thousand rakshasas besides Dushana-Trishira and Khara, the utterly helpless Sharpanakha finally reached Ravanasura like a storm and cloud burst shrieks of thunder. Ravana was seated on a golden throne on a vedi built with golden bricks like pushpaka vimana along with his ministers and senadhipati too. Dvimshad bhujam dashagreevam darshaneea paricchhitam, vishala vakshasam veeram raaja lakshana lakshitam/ Nadhvaidurya samkaasham ptaptakanchana bhushanam, subhujam shukladashanam mahaasyam parvatopamam/ Bright and even radiant with then heads and twenty strong and mighty hands with chhatra-chaamaras or with the service of a golden umbrella and hand fan services as accompanied, Ravana was seated with heightened shoulders and well elongated hands, white and sparkling teeth and a mighty visage as a mountainous body frame. When he fought with Lord Vishnu himself, he carried the signage of the 'sudarshana chakra prahara' or the remanant patch of the wheel sign attack! As Devas attacked in the past with their divya astras, he looked to have created havoc in the oceans with his resistant defensive and ofensive strikes. Ravana was so mighty to severe and throw away mountain tops to high skies! The very roots of the eternal tree of dharma were thrown as under and the purity of 'para stree' was never spared! He had the history of wrecking and smashing up yagna karyas; let and the background of attacking Bhogavati Pura in Patala and humiliating Vasuki Naaga Raja and forcibly brought his dear and oustandigly charming with home! kailāsam parvatam gatvā vijitya naravāhanam, vimānam puspakam tasya kāmagam vai jahāra yah/Maha Ravanasura attacked Kubera and subdued him and freely spoilt the latter's proverbial Chaittra Radha garden at his sweet will! Likewise, he had free viharas of Indra's Nandana Vana as per his sweet will. Ravana had enjoyed the ill-reputaion of slowing down or speeding up tamperings of Surya Chandras, which is simply unimaginable. devadānavagandharvapiśācapatagoragaih, abhayam yasya samgrāme mṛtyuto mānuṣād ṛte/Well in the past, Ravanasura had the experience of performing ten thousand years of rigorous tapasya to Brahma but as the latter did not heed, threatened to severe his own head before securing boons of invincibility from all the celestials and the underworld ignoring the human beings how ever.! Such indeed was the glory of Ravanasura. It was into the court of Ravanasura that Shurpanakha walked into her brother's Court where Ministers and all the rest were present, while rattled, flustered and hysterically shouting. / tam abravīd dīptaviśālalocanam; pradarśayitvā bhayamohamūrchitā., sudāruņam vākyam abhītacāriņī; aravīd mahahat panaa shurpanakka virupita/ Lalkshmana sliced off Shurpanakha's nose and ears and disfigured as she was in shrieks with agony and insult with lightning eyes conveying her instant conduct!

Sarga Thirty Three

Highly alarmed and frustrated Shurpanakha incites and ignites her brother Ravanasura

Tataḥ śūrpaṇakhā dīnā rāvaṇam lokarāvaṇam, amātyamadhye samkruddhā paruṣam vākyam abravīt/ pramattaḥ kāmabhogeṣu svairavr̥tto niraṅkuśaḥ, samutpannam bhayam ghoram boddhavyam nāvabudhyase/ saktam grāmyeṣu bhogeṣu kāmavr̥ttam mahīpatim, lubdham na bahu manyante śmaśānāgnim iva prajāḥ/ svayam kāryāṇi yaḥ kāle nānutiṣṭhati pārthivaḥ, sa tu vai saha rājyena taiś ca kāryair vinaśyati/ ayuktacāram durdarśam asvādhīnam narādhipam, varjayanti narā dūrān nadīpankam iva dvipāḥ/ ye na rakṣanti viṣayam asvādhīnā narādhipaḥ, te na vṛddhyā prakāśante girayaḥ sāgare yathā/ātmavadbhir vigrhya tvam devagandharvadānavaih, ayuktacāraś capalah katham rājā bhavisyasi/ vesām cāras ca kosas ca navas ca javatām vara, asvādhīnā narendrānām prākrtais te janaih samāh/ yasmāt paśyanti dūrasthān sarvān arthān narādhipāḥ, cāreṇa tasmād ucyante rājāno dīrghacakṣuṣaḥ/ ayuktacāram manye tvām prākrtaih sacivair vrtam., svajanam ca janasthānam hatam yo nāvabudhyase/ caturdaśa sahasrāṇi rakṣasām bhīmakarmaṇām, hatāny ekena rāmeṇa kharaś ca sahadūṣaṇah/ ṛṣīṇām abhayam dattam krtaksemāś ca dandakāh, dharsitam ca janasthānam rāmenāklistakarmanā/ tvam tu lubdhah pramattaś ca parādhīnaś ca rāvana, visave sve samutpannam bhayam vo nāvabudhvase/ tīksnam alpapradātāram pramattam garvitam śatham, vyasane sarvabhūtāni nābhidhāvanti pārthivam/ atimāninam agrāhyam ātmasambhāvitam naram, krodhanam vyasane hanti svajano 'pi narādhipam/ nānutisthati kāryāni bhayesu na bibheti ca, ksipram rājyāc cyuto dīnas trnais tulvo bhayisyati/ śuşkakāşthair bhavet kāryam lostair api ca pāmsubhiḥ, na tu sthānāt paribhrastaiḥ kāryam syād vasudhādhipaiḥ/ upabhuktam yathā vāsaḥ srajo vā mṛditā yathā, evam rājyāt paribhraṣṭaḥ samartho 'pi nirarthakah/ apramattaś ca yo rājā sarvajño vijitendriyah, kṛtajño dharmaśīlaś ca sa rājā tisthate ciram/ nayanābhyām prasupto 'pi jāgarti nayacakṣuṣā, vyaktakrodhaprasādaś ca sa rājā pūjyate janaiḥ/ tvam tu rāvaṇadurbuddhir guṇair etair vivarjitaḥ, yasya te 'viditaś cārai rakṣasām sumahān vadhaḥ/ parāvamantā visayesu samgato; nadeśa kālapravibhāga tattvavit, ayuktabuddhir gunadosaniścaye; vipannarājyo na cirād vipatsyate/ iti svadosān parikīrtitāms tayā; samīkṣya buddhyā kṣaṇadācareśvaraḥ, dhanena darpena balena cānvito; vicintayām āsa ciram sa rāvanah/

Having forcibly entered the Ravana Rakshasa Maha Sabha, Shurpanakha started yelling: Rakashasa Raja! You are totally irresponsible being ignorant of current affairs of what had been going in the contemporary Society! As you are immersed in nonchalance and self contentment, you are blind to the realities of transformation. svayam kāryāni yah kāle nānutisthati pārthivah, sa tu vai saha rājyena taiś ca kāryair vinaśyati/ ayuktacāram durdarśam asvādhīnam narādhipam, varjayanti narā dūrān nadīpankam iva dvipāh/That typical King who ignores the timely awareness of the developments by his own vision and foresight, most certainly that kingdom is doomed and soon vanished! That King who depends on 'guptacharaas' or only the Guptachaaris or the Intelligence alone without first hand knowledge and hardly becomes unaware by his vision and foresight losses control of his kingship. As the King distances from the praja, then he is akin to an elephant drawn deep and drowned into heaps of mud. Twam tu baala swabhaayascha buddhiheenascha rakshasa, jnaatayyam tatra jaaneeshe katham Raja bhabishyasi/ Rakshasa! Your attitude is like of a boy and immature! In this kind of a mindset, how indeed you could me like an emperor! Those like you who have no control over the Intelligentia, Treasury, and Common Sense, you appear like of an average person. Those who do totally depend on guptachaaris have little vision and foresight. You are surrounded by careless ministers: svajanam ca janasthānam hatam yo nāvabudhyase/ Your own 'swajana' or the closest family members have been uprooted then too you are ignorant! caturdaśa sahasrāni raksasām bhīmakarmanām, hatāny ekena rāmena kharaś ca sahadūsanah/ rṣīṇām abhayam dattam kṛtakṣemāś ca daṇḍakāḥ, dharṣitam ca janasthānam rāmenāklistakarmanā/Rama a single person had annihilated fourteen thousand rakshasa soldiers; Khara Dushanas were dead without mercy. Rishis are predominant in dandakaranya where they were traditionally performing hide and seek and that place was all along the playground of Rakshasaas. Now the situation had since been reversed. Rakasha shreshtha! You are not realising that the doom days are not far and hardships are round the corner, unless you take corrective steps at once. nānutisthati kāryāni

bhayeşu na bibheti ca, kşipram rājyāc cyuto dīnas tṛṇais tulyo bhaviṣyati/ śuṣkakāṣṭhair bhavet kāryam loṣṭair api ca pāmsubhiḥ, na tu sthānāt paribhraṣṭaiḥ kāryam syād vasudhādhipaiḥ/ That King who ignores his timely duty and hardly heeds the corrective steps would not only face enormity of situations ahead but might lose the kingship and a tragic doom. The public of a kingdom might reap benefits from dried up tree needles or eathly mud but certainly not a defeated or dead kingship! apramattaś ca yo rājā sarvajño vijitendriyaḥ, kṛtajño dharmaśīlaś ca sa rājā tiṣṭhate ciram/ nayanābhyām prasupto 'pi jāgarti nayacakṣuṣā, vyaktakrodhaprasādaś ca sa rājā pūjyate janaiḥ/ But, when a King is alert and composed, as he keeps a check on details of the goings on in the kingdom, controls body acts and mental clarity, reciprocatory of helpful deeds displaying gratitudes and by nature of dharma becomes long lasting. As a King sleeps off physically, but keeps his mental vision as alert and ever open, such Kings are respect worthy and everlasting! tvam tu rāvaṇadurbuddhir guṇair etair vivarjitaḥ, yasya te 'viditaś cārai rakṣasām sumahān vadhaḥ/ Ravana! Your mindset is wholly dependent on the assistance of 'Guptacharaas' and hence were not even aware of the slaughter of thousands of Rakshasaas and your own kith and kin! Shurpanakha thus heckeld Ravana quite consciously as the latter was mentally disarmed and even alarmed!

Sarga Thirty Four

Ravana was inquisitive from Shupanakha about details of Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas as the latter asks Sita to be abducted and wedded to Sita

Tatah śūrpanakhām kruddhām bruvatīm paruṣam vacah, amātyamadhye samkruddhah paripapraccha rāvanah/ kaś ca rāmah katham vīrvah kim rūpah kim parākramah, kimartham dandakāranvam pravistaś ca suduścaram/āyudham kim ca rāmasya nihatā yena rāksasāh, kharaś ca nihatam samkhye dūsanas triśirās tathā/ity uktā rāksasendrena rāksasī krodhamūrchitā, tato rāmam yathānyāyam ākhyātum upacakrame/ dīrghabāhur viśālāksaś cīrakrsnājināmbarah, kandarpasamarūpaś ca rāmo daśarathātmajaḥ/śakracāpanibham cāpam vikṛṣya kanakāngadam, dīptān kṣipati nārācān sarpān iva mahāviṣān/ nādadānam śarān ghorān na muñcantam mahābalam, na kārmukam vikarṣantam rāmam paśyāmi samyuge/ hanyamānam tu tat sainyam paśyāmi śarayrstibhih, indrenaiyottamam sasyam āhatam tv aśmavṛṣṭibhiḥ/ rakṣasāṁ bhīmavīryāṇāṁ sahasrāṇi caturdaśa, nihatāni śarais tīkṣṇais tenaikena padātinā/ ardhādhikamuhūrtena kharaś ca sahadūṣaṇaḥ, rṣīṇām abhayam dattam krtakṣemāś ca dandakāh/ ekā katham cin muktāham paribhūya mahātmanā, strīvadham śankamānena rāmena viditātmanā/ bhrātā cāsya mahātejā gunatas tulyavikramah, anuraktaś ca bhaktaś ca laksmano nāma vīryavān/ amarşī durjayo jetā vikrānto buddhimān balī, rāmasya dakṣiṇe bāhur nityam prāno bahişcarah/ rāmasya tu viśālākṣī dharmapatnī yaśasvinī, sītā nāma varārohā vaidehī tanumadhyamā/ naiva devī na gandharvā na yaksī na ca kimnarī, tathārūpā mayā nārī drstapūrvā mahītale/ yasya sītā bhaved bhāryā yam ca hṛṣṭā pariṣvajet, atijīvet sa sarveṣu lokeṣv api puramdarāt/ sā suśīlā vapuḥślāghyā rūpeṇāpratimā bhuvi, tavānurūpā bhāryā sā tvam ca tasyās tathā patiḥ/ tām tu vistīrnajaghanām pīnottungapayodharām, bhāryārthe tu tavānetum udyatāham varānanām/ tām tu drstvādya vaidehīm pūrnacandranibhānanām, manmathasya śarānām ca tvam vidheyo bhavisyasi/yadi tasyām abhiprāyo bhāryārthe tava jāyate, śīghram uddhriyatām pādo jayārtham iha dakṣiṇaḥ/kuru priyam tathā teşām rakṣasām rākṣaseśvara, vadhāt tasya nṛśamsasya rāmasyāśramavāsinah/ tam śarair niśitair hatvā laksmaṇam ca mahāratham, hatanāthām sukham sītām yathāvad upabhokṣyase/rocate yadi te vākyam mamaitad rākṣaseśvara,kriyatām nirviśankena vacanam mama rāghava/ niśamya rāmena śarair ajihmagair; hatāñ janasthānagatān niśācarān, kharam ca buddhvā nihatam ca dūṣaṇam; tvam adya kṛtyaṁ pratipattum arhasi/

As Shurpanakha provoked Ravanaasura in the full Ravana Sabha in the presence of the Ministers and even the important persons of the kingdom, Ravanasura shouted: *kaś ca rāmaḥ kathaṁ vīryaḥ kiṁ rūpaḥ*

kim parākramah, kimartham dandakāranyam pravistas ca suduscaram/āyudham kim ca rāmasya nihatā yena rākṣasāḥ, kharaś ca nihataṁ saṁkhye dūṣaṇas triśirās tathā/ 'Who is this Rama, his physical profile, courage and so on and why did he enter dandakaranya anyway! What kind of astra shastras does he possess to be able to stalwart rakshasaas like Khara Dushana Trshiraas! Shurpanakha, tell me in detail as to why, Lakshmana had to cut off your nose and ears any way!' Then she explained: 'dear brother! ity uktā rākṣasendreṇa rākṣasī krodhamūrchitā, tato rāmam yathānyāyam ākhyātum upacakrame/ dīrghabāhur viśālākṣaś cīrakṛṣṇājināmbaraḥ, kandarpasamarūpaś ca rāmo daśarathātmajaḥ/ 'Ramnachandra is the son of the late King Dasharatha; his physique is tall, well built and strong, with high and broad shouldered, eyes and visage extremely impressive like Manmatha himself and is dressed up in animal skin, wearing impressive dhanur banas akin to Indhra dhanush capable of raining mantric arrows. The manner of his releasing arrows was unparalleled and the alacrity and speed with which he delivers the arrows was amazing. Just as the incessant and extremely severe rain storm of Indra's clouds destroys the standing crops on earth, Rama's arrows devastate thousands of Rakshasasa veeraas into fragments. Rama was all alone by his feet and wthin a few ghadis of time, he smashed up fourteen thousand rakshasa heros headed by Khara Dushana Tripuraas! He provided 'abhaya and shanti' or solace and peace to Munis and Tapasvis and turned dandakaranya totally free from rakshasaas and their fury and predominance! Yet: ekā katham cin muktāham paribhūya mahātmanā, strīvadham śankamānena rāmena viditātmanā/ bhrātā cāsya mahātejā gunatas tulyavikramah, anuraktas ca bhaktas ca laksmano nāma vīryavān/ amarsī durjayo jetā vikrānto buddhimān balī, rāmasya daksine bāhur nityam prāno bahiscarah/ Atma jnaani Shri Rama being aware that 'stree vadha' or killing of females being forbidden, he had asked hid younger brother Loakshmana to deface me by cutting off my ears and nose but not kill me outright and spared me having insulted me but not kill me outright! bhrātā cāsya mahātejā guṇatas tulyavikramah, anuraktas ca bhaktas ca lakṣmaṇo nāma vīryavān/ amarṣī durjayo jetā vikrānto buddhimān balī, rāmasya daksine bāhur nityam prāno bahiscarah/ Rama's younger brother named Lakshmana is a bright, brave and loyal whose mind of sharp, physical strength unchallengable and always to present as a body guard as Rama's right hand! rāmasya tu viśālākṣī dharmapatnī yaśasvinī, sītā nāma varārohā vaidehī tanumadhyamā/ naiva devī na gandharvā na yakṣī na ca kimnarī, tathārūpā mayā nārī drstapūrvā mahītale/ Shri Rama's dharmapatni is always with him and are exceedingly attached to each other. She is a repository of beauty and grace with readily attracting face and demeanour with arresting eyes and looks like of Purnachandra. Her hairs, setting of nose, thighs, and her physical beauty is splendid like of Maha Lakshmi herself as the 'dandakavana rani'. Her name is sweet and short viz. Devi Sita the princess of Videha Kingdom by birth and upbringing as the pretty daughter of King Janaka. Devatas, Ghandharvas, Yaksha, Kinnaras are none too comparable to her charm and elegance. He who could accomplish Devi Sita as a wife and emmbrace her, he should have his ambition far beyond that of Indra's the King of Swarga! Indeed, Lankeshwara! You ought to anchor your heart on to Devi Sita! tām tu vistīrņajaghanām pīnottungapayodharām, bhāryārthe tu tavānetum udyatāham varānanām/ tām tu dṛṣṭvādya vaidehīm pūrṇacandranibhānanām, manmathasya śarāṇām ca tvam vidheyo bhaviṣyasi/ yadi tasyām abhiprāvo bhārvārthe tava jāvate, sīghram uddhrivatām pādo javārtham iha daksinah/Maha Baho! I should rest myself in a mode of forgetting and forgiving the revenge seething in my heart as Lalshmana made me a 'kurupi' by slicing off my nose and ears, if only you succeed Sita as your wife! May you be subject to a victim of Kama Deva's amorous arrows and succeed in making Sita as your wife some how, by hook or crook! Rakshasa Raja Lankeshwara! rocate yadi te vākyam mamaitad rāksaseśvara,kriyatām nirviśankena vacanam mama rāghava/ niśamya rāmena śarair ajihmagair; hatāñ janasthānagatān niśācarān, kharam ca buddhvā nihatam ca dūṣaṇam; tvam adya kṛtyam pratipattum arhasi/Rakshasa Raja Ravana! In case you like my advice, to strenghen your mind and willpower.Rama used his will power and killed your kith and kin. Now this is the unique manner by which you could avenge in this manner.

Sarga Thirty Five

Ravanasura once again approaches Mareecha once again to seek the latter's help

tatah śūrpanakhā vākyam tac chrutvā romaharsanam, sacivān abhyanujñāya kāryam buddhvā jagāma ha/ tat kāryam anugamyātha yathāvad upalabhya ca, dosānām ca guṇānām ca sampradhārya balābalam/ iti kartavyam ity eva kṛtvā niścayam ātmanaḥ, sthirabuddhis tato ramyām yānaśālām jagāma ha/ vānaśālām tato gatvā pracchannam rāksasādhipah, sūtam samcodavām āsa rathah samvujvatām iti/ evam uktaḥ kṣaṇenaiva sārathir laghuvikramaḥ, ratham samyojayām āsa tasyābhimatam uttamam/ kāñcanam ratham āsthāya kāmagam ratnabhūṣitam, piśācavadanair yuktam kharaiḥ kanakabhūṣaṇaiḥ/ meghapratimanādena sa tena dhanadānujah, rāksasādhipatih śrīmān yayau nadanadīpatim/ sa śvetabālavyasanah śvetacchatro daśānanah, snigdhavaidūryasamkāśas taptakāñcanabhūsanah/ daśāsyo vimsatibhujo darsanīya paricchadah, tridasārir munīndraghno dasasīrsa ivādrirāt/ kāmagam ratham āsthāya śuśubhe rāksasādhipah, vidyunmandalavān meghah sabalāka ivāmbare/ saśailam sāgarānūpam vīryavān avalokayan, nānāpuspaphalair vrksair anukīrnam sahasrasah sītamangalatoyābhih padminībhiḥ samantataḥ, viśālair āśramapadair vedimadbhiḥ samāvṛtam/ kadaly āḍhakisambādham nālikeropaśobhitam, sālais tālais tamālaiś ca tarubhiś ca supuspitaiḥ/ atyantaniyatāhāraiḥ śobhitam paramarsibhih, nāgaih suparnair gandharvaih kimnaraiś ca sahasraśah/ jitakāmaiś ca siddhaiś ca cāmaṇaiś copaśobhitam, ājair vaikhānasair māṣair vālakhilyair marīcipaiḥ/ divyābharaṇamālyābhir divyarūpābhir āvrtam, krīdā ratividhijñābhir apsarobhih sahasraśah/ sevitam devapatnībhih śrīmatībhih śriyā vrtam, devadānavasamghaiś ca caritam tv amrtāśibhih/ hamsakrauñcaplavākīrnam sārasaih sampranāditam, vaidūryaprastaram ramyam snigdham sāgaratejasā/ pāndurāni višālāni divyamālyayutāni ca, tūryagītābhijuṣṭāni vimānāni samantatah/ tapasā jitalokānām kāmagāny abhisampatan, gandharyāpsarasaś caiva dadarśa dhanadānujah/ niryāsarasamūlānām candanānām sahasraśaḥ, vanāni paśyan saumyāni ghrāṇatṛptikarāṇi ca/ agarūṇāṁ ca mukhyānāṁ vanāny upavanāni ca, takkolānām ca jātyānām phalānām ca sugandhinām/ puspāni ca tamālasya gulmāni maricasya ca, muktānām ca samūhāni śusyamānāni tīratah/ śankhānām prastaram caiva pravālanicayam tathā, kāñcanāni ca śailāni rājatāni ca sarvaśah/ prasravāni manojñāni prasannāni hradāni ca, dhanadhānyopapannāni strīratnair āvrtāni ca/ hastyaśvarathagādhāni nagarāny avalokayan, tam samam sarvatah snigdham mṛdusamsparśamārutam/ anūpam sindhurājasya dadarśa tridivopamam, tatrāpaśyat sa meghābham nyagrodham rsibhir vrtam/ samantād vasva tāh śākhāh śatavojanam āvatāh, vasva hastinam ādāva mahākāvam ca kaccapam, bhaksārtham garudah śākhām ājagāma mahābalah/ tasva tām sahasā śākhām bhāreṇa patagottamaḥ, suparṇaḥ parṇabahulām babhañjātha mahābalaḥ/ tatra vaikhānasā māsā vālakhilyā marīcipāh, ajā babhūvur dhūmrāś ca saṃgatāh paramarsayah/ tesāṃ dayārtham garudas tām śākhām śatayojanām, jagāmādāya vegena tau cobhau gajakacchapau/ ekapādena dharmātmā bhaksayitvā tad āmisam, nisādavisayam hatvā śākhayā patagottamah, praharsam atulam lebhe moksayitvā mahāmunīn/ sa tenaiva praharsena dvigunīkṛtavikramah, amṛtānayanārtham vai cakāra matimān matim/ ayojālāni nirmathya bhittvā ratnagrham varam, mahendrabhavanād guptam ājahārāmṛtam tatah/ tam maharṣiganair juṣṭam suparnakṛtalakṣaṇam, nāmnā subhadram nyagrodham dadarśa dhanadānujah/ tam tu gatvā param pāram samudrasya nadīpateh, dadarśāśramam ekānte puņye ramye vanāntare/ tatra krsnājinadharam jatāvalkaladhārinam, dadarśa nivatāhāram mārīcam nāma rāksasam/ sa rāyanah samāgamya vidhiyat tena raksasā, tatah paścād idam vākyam abravīd vākyakovidaḥ/

Having totally influenced Ravanaasura's mind set and fired up passion for Devi Sita, the badly hurt Surpanakha on a revenge mode of her facial disfiguring left Ravana who initiated an action plan of 'Sitaaharana' straightaway and asked his charioteer to get his chariot ready in a secret manner. The chariot run by donkeys as looking like a 'pishacha' was seated by Ravana. As the chariot proceeded towards the ocean shores, Ravana was with fully glittering ten heads and golden kireetaas studded with nine gems and with twenty hands sporting golden 'kavachas' or shields looking like a huge mountain with ten 'shikharaas'. Paraakrami Ravana then reached the seashores and was surrounded with thousands of huge trees; some where were coconut trees, or kadali phala- saala- taala-tamaala and so on. He witnessed on the way a number of Maharshis- serpents-vultures- gandharvas- and kinnaras. Siddhacharana-vaanaprasthaas; groups of Munis- Baalakhilya mahatmas- and those munis who merely absorb

Surya Kiranas too were witnessed all along the oceanshores. Besides the playful divyaaas like apsarasaas were in hilarious groups too. Deva-Danava samuhas too were collected in distinct classes. As the ever jumping up waves were rising and subsiding in constant rhythm, groups of cranes,swans, krouchas were regaling themselves against the background of a blue horizon glittering like vaidurya manis! By this akaasha yatra, Ravana the younger of Kubera sighted a number of vimanas of gadharvas and apsrasaas singing away and dancing too. As Ravana proceeded further on the high sky, there was a 'maha garuda' who helped to sight a 'maha vriksha' named Subhadravata. tam tu gatvā param pāram samudrasya nadīpateḥ, dadarśāśramam ekānte puṇye ramye vanāntare/ tatra kṛṣṇājinadharam jaṭāvalkaladhāriṇam, dadarśa niyatāhāram mārīcam nāma rākṣasam/ sa rāvaṇaḥ samāgamya vidhivat tena rakṣasā, tataḥ paścād idam vākyam abravīd vākyakovidaḥ/ On the other side of the Maha Samudra, the Maha Garuda sighted a lonely ashram. Inside that ashram was a Rakshasa wearing 'mriga charmas' consuming extremely limited intake of 'ahaara'. Ravana finally succeeded landed at the ashram and met Mareecha. The latter had formally invited Ravanaasura as the latter proceeded with his convesation.

Sarga Thirty Six

Ravanaasura once again seeks the help of Mareecha to kidnap Devi Sita

Maārīca śrūyatām tāta vacanam mama bhāsatah, ārto 'smi mama cārtasya bhavān hi paramā gatih/ jānīṣe tvam janasthānam bhrātā yatra kharo mama, dūṣaṇaś ca mahābāhuḥ svasā śūrpaṇakhā ca me/ triśirāś ca mahātejā rākṣasaḥ piśitāśanaḥ, anye ca bahavaḥ śūrā labdhalakṣā niśācarāḥ/ vasanti manniyogena adhivāsam ca rākṣasaḥ, bādhamānā mahāraṇye munīn ye dharmacāriṇaḥ/ caturdaśa sahasrāni raksasām bhīmakarmanām, śūrānām labdhalaksānām kharacittānuvartinām/ te tv idānīm janasthāne vasamānā mahābalāh, samgatāh param āyattā rāmena saha samyuge/ tena samjātarosena rāmena ranamūrdhani, anuktvā parusam kim cic charair vyāpāritam dhanuh/ caturdaśa sahasrāni raksasām bhīmakarmanām, nihatāni śarais tīksnair mānusena padātinā/kharaś ca nihatah samkhye dūṣaṇaś ca nipātitaḥ, hatvā triśirasam cāpi nirbhayā daṇḍakāḥ kṛtāḥ/ pitrā nirastaḥ kruddhena sabhārvah ksīnajīvitah, sa hantā tasva sainvasva rāmah ksatrivapāmsanah/ aśīlah karkaśas tīksno mūrkho lubdho 'jitendriyah, tvaktadharmas tv adharmātmā bhūtānām ahite ratah/ vena vairam vināranve sattvam āśritya kevalam, karṇanāsāpahāreṇa bhaginī me virūpitā/ tasya bhāryām janasthānāt sītām surasutopamām, ānavisyāmi vikramya sahāyas tatra me bhava/ tvayā hy aham sahāyena pārśvasthena mahābala, bhrātrbhiś ca surān yuddhe samagrān nābhicintaye/ tat sahāyo bhava tvam me samartho hy asi rāksasa, vīrye yuddhe ca darpe ca na hy asti sadršas tava/ etadartham aham prāptas tvatsamīpam niśācara, śrnu tat karma sāhāyye yat kāryam vacanān mama/ sauvarnas tvam mrgo bhūtvā citro rajatabindubhiḥ, āśrame tasya rāmasya sītāyāḥ pramukhe cara/ tvām tu niḥsamśayam sītā dṛṣṭvā tu mṛgarūpiṇam, gṛhyatām iti bhartāram lakṣmaṇam cābhidhāsyati/ tatas tayor apāye tu śūnye sītām yathāsukham, nirābādho harisyāmi rāhuś candraprabhām iva/ tatah paścāt sukham rāme . bhārvāharanakarśite, visrabdham praharisvāmi krtārthenāntarātmanā/ tasva rāmakathām śrutvā mārīcasva mahātmanah, śuskam samabhavad vaktram paritrasto babhūva ca/sa rāvanam trastaviṣaṇṇacetā; mahāvane rāmaparākramajñaḥ, kṛtāñjalis tattvam uvāca vākyam; hitam ca tasmai hitam ātmanaś ca/

Maareecha! I am presently in a dire situation and need your assistance badly. In the janasthaana in dandakaaranya, my brother Khara and his senapati Dushana had been staying in comfort and so did my sister Shrupanakha. Mahabaahu the nara maamsa bhaksha Trishira and thousands like him too lived in quietude often troubling dharmaachaari munis. Besides them were as many as fourteen thousand shuraveera rakshasaas too were enjoying teasing and killing the dharmaachaari munis freely having a happy rejoicings. Then arrived Rama and the several rakshasaas got disturbed and started encounters against him. No doubt Khara and other rakshasaasas too were experts in dhanur vidya and they put up ready resistance. Some fourteen thousand and odd maha rakshasaas attacked Rama but the latter who was a super expert in dhanur vidya and killed them all. Then Dushana the senapati of Khara and subsequently

Trishira were decimated too by Rama owing to his specialisation of dhanur vidya. Finally Khara had a one to one battle and killed Khara too and thus turned dandakaranya free from Rakshas. This Rama was banished to dandakaranya as his father King Dashatatha was unhappy and angry with him and despatched along with his wife too. aśīlah karkaśas tīkṣṇo mūrkho lubdho 'jitendriyah, tyaktadharmas tv adharmātmā bhūtānām ahite ratah/ vena vairam vināranve sattvam āśritva kevalam, karnanāsāpahārena bhaginī me virūpitā/ tasya bhāryām janasthānāt sītām surasutopamām, ānayiṣyāmi vikramya sahāyas tatra me bhava/ This Rama is cruel, used to arrows only, arrogant, idiotic, narrowminded, dharma tyaagi, and resorts to violence without any provocation. He instructed his brother to deface my sister dear Shurpanakha and cut off her nose and both the ears without any justification. Now I want to abduct his wife and torment him mentally for ever. And, Mareecha! I seek your assistance in this act of our vengence agaiknt that cruel Rama to bring him to senses! Mahabali Mareecha! I am indeed capable of even facing Devas in any kind of attacks as you are nodoubt aware, but this is a rather sensitive issue and hence my request to you personally! You possess the innate capability of great 'maayaa prayogas'. This is why I have arrived here most specifially. sauvarnas tvam mrgo bhūtvā citro rajatabindubhiḥ, āśrame tasya rāmasya sītāvāh pramukhe cara/ tvām tu nihsamsavam sītā drstvā tu mrgarūpinam grhvatām iti bhartāram lakṣmaṇam cābhidhāsyati/ You must assume the form of a golden deer with silveren horns and move about the precincts of Rama's ashram attracting the attention of Devi Sita. This queen form of a deer ought to readily arrest the attention of Sita and she should then ask Rama or Lakshmana to some how catch the deer. When both of them chase the Maya Mriga, then I would enter the ashram and abduct Sita as Rahu would make Chandra disappear! tatah paścāt sukham rāme bhāryāharaṇakarśite, visrabdham praharişyāmi kṛtārthenāntarātmanā/ tasya rāmakathām śrutvā mārīcasya mahātmanaḥ, śuṣkam samabhavad vaktram paritrasto babhūva ca/There after, Rama would get submeged in irreparable damage to Rama's psyche and lose his balance of mind, resulting in physical strength and internal fortitude and he could be comfortably killed by just one stroke of my sword! As this plan as detailed by Ravana, Mareecha's face and lips got dried up and was shaken to his roots with fear as the plan on its very face seemed impractical and suicidal for himself. sa rāvanam trastavisannacetā; mahāvane rāmaparākrama -jñaḥ, kṛtāñjalis tattvam uvāca vākyam; hitam ca tasmai hitam ātmanaś ca/ In this kind of Maha Vana to run around under the nose of Rama Lakshmanas and tempt Devi Sita is literally inviting death and already he was about to faint and nearly facing death. After all, the inborn intelligence and bravery of Rama was already tasted by Mareecha and it was fortuitous that the Rakshasa was nearly dead as Rama killed his brother Subahu and he himself was thrown farflung by Rama's vayavyaastra!

Sarga Thirty Seven

'The self shaken up Mareecha appeals to Ravana to very kindly withdraw the plan in view of Rama's extraordinary mental acumen and physical energy

Tatacchrutvā rākṣasendrasya vākyam vākyaviśāradaḥ, pratyuvāca mahāprājño mārīco rākṣaseśvaram/ a sulabhāḥ puruṣā rājan satatam priyavādinaḥ, apriyasya ca pathyasya vaktā śrotā ca durlabhaḥ/ na nūnam budhyase rāmam mahāvīryam guṇonnatam, ayuktacāraś capalo mahendravaruṇopamam/ api svasti bhavet tāta sarveṣām bhuvi rakṣasām, api rāmo na samkruddhaḥ kuryāl lokam arākṣasam/ api te jīvitāntāya notpannā janakātmajā, api sītā nimittam ca na bhaved vyasanam mahat/ api tvām īśvaram prāpya kāmavṛttam niraṅkuśam, na vinaśyet purī laṅkā tvayā saha sarākṣasā/tvadvidhaḥ kāmavṛtto hi duḥśīlaḥ pāpamantritaḥ, ātmānam svajanam rāṣṭram sa rājā hanti durmatiḥ/ na ca pitrā parityakto nāmaryādaḥ katham cana, na lubdho na ca duḥśīlo na ca kṣatriyapāmsanaḥ/na ca dharmaguṇair hīnaiḥ kausalyānandavardhanaḥ, na ca tīkṣṇo hi bhūtānām sarveṣām ca hite rataḥ/ vañcitam pitaram dṛṣṭvā kaikeyyā satyavādinam, kariṣyāmīti dharmātmā tataḥ pravrajito vanam/ kaikeyyāḥ priyakāmārtham pitur daśarathasya ca, hitvā rājyam ca bhogāmś ca praviṣṭo daṇḍakāvanam/ na rāmaḥ karkaśas tāta nāvidvān nājitendriyaḥ, anṛtam na śrutam caiva naiva tvam vaktum arhasi/ rāmo vigrahavān dharmaḥ sādhuḥ satyaparākramaḥ, rājā sarvasya lokasya devānām iva vāsavaḥ/ katham tvam tasya vaidehīm rakṣitām svena tejasā, icchasi prasabham hartum prabhām iva vivasvatah/ śarārcisam anādhrsvam

cāpakhadgendhanam raṇe, rāmāgnim sahasā dīptam na praveṣṭum tvam arhasi/ dhanurvyāditadīptāsyam śarārciṣam amarṣaṇam, cāpabāṇadharam vīram śatrusenāpahāriṇam/ rājyam sukham ca samtyajya jīvitam ceṣṭam ātmanaḥ, nātyāsādayitum tāta rāmāntakam ihārhasi/ aprameyam hi tat tejo yasya sā janakātmajā, na tvam samarthas tām hartum rāmacāpāśrayām vane/ prāṇebhyo 'pi priyatarā bhāryā nityam anuvratā, dīptasyeva hutāśasya śikhā sītā sumadhyamā/ kim udyamam vyartham imam kṛtvā te rākṣasādhipa, dṛṣṭaś cet tvam raṇe tena tad antam tava jīvitam/ jīvitam ca sukham caiva rājyam caiva sudurlabham, yadeecchasi chiram bhoktum maakrithaa Ramaviprityam/ sa sarvaiḥ sacivaiḥ sārdham vibhīṣaṇapuraskṛtaiḥ, mantrayitvā tu dharmiṣṭhaiḥ kṛtvā niścayam ātmanaḥ/ doṣāṇām ca guṇānām ca sampradhārya balābalam, ātmanaś ca balam jñātvā rāghavasya ca tattvataḥ, hitam hi tava niścitya kṣamam tvam kartum arhasi/ aham tu manye tava na kṣamam raṇe; samāgamam kosalarājasūnunā, idam hi bhūyaḥ śṛṇu vākyam uttamam; kṣamam ca yuktam ca niśācarādhipa/

Maareecha further addressed Ravanaasura that it would be easy to give an advice but being ignorant of the tragic consequences. Ravana Raja! You are ignorant of the depth and mental strength of Shri Rama; in terms of bravery he excels Indra and Varuna. Do you not realise that the safety of the entirety of Rakshasaas would be your objective and aspiration; but would you not realise that you would take such a step to destroy the race of rakshasaas by annoying Rama! Is Janaka nandini Sita the very seed to destroy your vamsha! May be due to her role, your own destruction and the 'itihaasa' of Rakshasa race's devastation is to be destined! tvadvidhah kāmavrtto hi duhśīlah pāpamantritah, ātmānam svajanam rāṣṭraṁ sa rājā hanti durmatih/ That King like you being a duraachaari-svecchhaachaari-paapa purna or of negative psyche, free to act as pleased, and of sinful or evil consequences could doom the race along with pulling himself too. On the other hand: na ca pitrā parityakto nāmaryādaḥ kathaṁ cana, na lubdho na ca duhśīlo na ca ksatriyapāmsanah/na ca dharmagunair hīnaih kausalyānandavardhanah, na ca tīksno hi bhūtānām sarvesām ca hite ratah/Shri Rama had neither discarded his father, nor due to infringment of the principles of dharma, nor narrowmided, and not by the kshatriya's dutifulness. He is the dear son replete with his mother Kousalya's love and so does his love for fellow beings by his very nature. It was the queen Kaikeyi who lured her husband and made a victim of Rama in her game. And the duty bound Rama has had the determination of upkeeping his father's resolve. He had on his own decided to preserve the dignity of the parents quite volantarily and having discarded his desires entered dadakaranya! na rāmaḥ karkaśas tāta nāvidvān nājitendriyaḥ, anṛtaṁ na śrutaṁ caiva naiva tvaṁ vaktum arhasi/ rāmo vigrahavān dharmah sādhuh satyaparākramah, rājā sarvasya lokasya devānām iva vāsavah/Rama is neither cruel, nor foolish, but has of immense self reastraint. One could never ascribe indescretion on his part, as he is a mita bhaashi and non exaggerative human. He is of dharma murti swarupa, and satya paraakrami, like Indra the Universal King alike with Devas and Human beings. Rama is pure like Agni and so is his arrow and sword, atonce fast and sharp! At the same time, beware of a fullfledged flame and a merciless sword. aprameyam hi tat tejo yasya sā janakātmajā, na tvam samarthas tām hartum rāmacāpāśrayām vane/ prānebhyo 'pi priyatarā bhāryā nityam anuvratā, dīptasyeva hutāśasya śikhā sītā sumadhyamā/ Janakakishori Sita the dharmapatni of Rama is none too less radiant. Rama's 'dhanush baanaas' are her supreme source of strength; is some one there who could ever dare to seize her from Rama the purusha simha! Mithileshwari Sita the ever radiant saha dharma charini of23 Rama is a flame of lasting fire and is there somebody who could seize her from Rama ever! jīvitam ca sukham caiva rājyam caiva sudurlabham, yadeecchasi chiram bhoktum maakrithaa Ramaviprityam/ If only, Ravanaasura! If you wish to carry on your life peacefully without discontentment, then never make a grievous blunder and annoy Shri Rama. Take the advice of matureminded Vibhishana and dhamamtma panditaas and act accordingly.

Sarga Thirty Eight

Maareecha explains his erstwhile experience of Vayavyastra and requests Ravana to pardon him

Kadā cid apv aham vīrvāt parvatan prthivīm imām, balam nāgasahasrasva dhārayan parvatopamah/ nīlajīmūtasamkāśas taptakāñcanakuṇḍalaḥ, bhayam lokasya janayan kirīṭī parighāyudhaḥ, vyacaram dandakāranyam rsimāmsāni bhakṣayan/ viśvāmitro 'tha dharmātmā madvitrasto mahāmuniḥ, svayam gatvā daśaratham narendram idam abravīt/ ayam rakṣatu mām rāmaḥ parvakāle samāhitaḥ, mārīcān me bhayam ghoram samutpannam nareśvara/ itv evam ukto dharmātmā rājā daśarathas tadā, pratyuvāca mahābhāgam viśvāmitram mahāmunim/ ūna şoḍaśa varşo 'yam akṛtāstraś ca rāghavaḥ, kāmam tu mama yat sainyam mayā saha gamisyati, badhisyāmi muniśrestha śatrum tava yathepsitam/ ity evam uktah sa munī rājānam punar abravīt, rāmān nānyad balam loke paryāptam tasya rakṣasaḥ/ bālo 'py eṣa mahātejāḥ samarthas tasya nigrahe, gamiṣye rāmam ādāya svasti te 'stu paramtapaḥ/ ity evam uktvā sa munis tam ādāya nṛpātmajam, jagāma paramaprīto viśvāmitrah svam āśramam/ taṁ tadā dandakāranye yajñam uddiśya dīksitam, babhūvāvasthito rāmaś citram visphārayan dhanuh/ ajātavyañjanah śrīmān bālah śyāmah śubheksanah,ekavastradharo dhanvī śikhī kanakamālayā/ śobhayan dandakāranyam dīptena svena tejasā, adrśvata tadā rāmo bālacandra ivodital/ tato 'ham meghasamkāśas taptakāñcanakundalah, balī dattavaro darpād ājagāma tadāśramam/ tena dṛṣṭaḥ praviṣṭo 'ham sahasaivodyatāvudhah, mām tu drstvā dhanuh sajyam asambhrāntas cakāra ha/ avajānann aham mohād bālo 'yam iti rāghavam, viśvāmitrasya tām vedim adhyadhāvam kṛtatvaraḥ/ tena muktas tato bāṇaḥ śitaḥ śatrunibarhanah, tenāham tāḍitah kṣiptah samudre śatayojane/ rāmasya śaravegena nirasto bhrāntacetanah, pātito 'ham tadā tena gambhīre sāgarāmbhasi, prāpya samjñām cirāt tāta lankām prati gatah purīm/ evam asmi tadā muktah sahāyās te nipātitāh, akṛtāstrena rāmena bālenāklistakarmanā/ tan mayā vāryamānas tvam yadi rāmeņa vigraham, karisyasy āpadam ghorām ksipram prāpya nasisyasi/ krīdā ratividhijñānām samājotsavaśālinām,raksasām caiva samtāpam anartham cāharisvasi/ harmyaprāsādasambādhām nānāratnavibhūṣitām, drakṣyasi tvam purīm lankām vinaṣṭām maithilīkṛte/ akurvanto 'pi pāpāni śucayah pāpasamśrayāt, parapāpair vinaśyanti matsyā nāgahrade yathā/ divyacandanadigdhāngān divyābharanabhūsitān, draksyasy abhihatān bhūmau tava dosāt tu rāksasān/ hṛtadārān sadārām's ca daśavidravato diśah, hatasesān asaranān draksyasi tvam nisācarān/ śarajālaparikṣiptām agnijvālāsamāvṛtām, pradagdhabhavanām lankām drakṣyasi tvam asamśayam/ pramadānām sahasrāṇi tava rājan parigrahaḥ, bhava svadāranirataḥ svakulam rakṣarākṣasa/ mānam vrddhim ca rājvam ca jīvitam cestam ātmanah, vadīcchasi ciram bhoktum mā krthā rāma viprivam/ nivāryamāṇaḥ suhrdā mayā bhrśam; prasahya sītām yadi dharṣayiṣyasi, gamiṣyasi kṣīṇabalaḥ sabāndhavo; yamakṣayam rāmaśarāttajīvitaḥ/

Ravanasura! Once in my erstwhile life, I got puffed up with self pride, arrogance, adventurism and carefree attitude, moving around the earth and high skies as then I was of the physical strength of thousands of elephants. My body was of the hue of blue clouds, wearing bright and big golden earrings, massive headgear, consuming only the fresh meat of Rishis as the unique terror of Dandakaranya. Maharshi Vishvamitra was mortally afraid of me and approached King Dasharatha and informed that a Maha Rakshasa named Maareecha and do kindy allow the youthful Shri Rama to accompany me to provide safety to my Yaigna kaarya. Then King Dasharatha replied that Rama was hardly of the age of fifteen years and if approved, that he himself would come with his vast and never defeated army force backed up. ity evam uktvā sa munis tam ādāya nṛpātmajam, jagāma paramaprīto viśvāmitraḥ svam āśramam/ tam tadā dandakāranye yajñam uddiśya dīksitam, babhūvāvasthito rāmaś citram visphārayan dhanuh/Vishvamitra then replied: That particular Rakshasa is destined to die only in the hands of Sri Rama only. Maharshi stated further: Maha Raja Dasharatha! Indeed you do possess the valour even to help Devatas against countless Rakshasaas and annihilate them. You also the back up of huge sena no doubt. But even as a mere lad, Rama is the singular hero who could devastate Mareecha and am keen and bent on him accompanying him. So affirming, Rama as accompanied by Lakshmana took them away to his ashram. tam tadā daņḍakāraṇye yajñam uddiśya dīkṣitam, babhūvāvasthito rāmaś citram visphārayan dhanuh/ In that manner, Ravana! Rama Lakshmanas accompanied Vishvamitra and entrusted them yagina deeksha even as Rama resounded his dhanush and stood firm awaiting the rakshasaas. Mareecha conrinued his naraation further: As I entered the yagjna shaala with careless arrogance even as my golden earlobes were flickering with flashes of brightness, I saw Rama with toy like dhanush baanas

and I was amused to wirness a couple of lads practising the dhanur vidya! No sooner that I found them, that they lifted their dhanush baanaas and I was some how experienced some kind of jitters! Then I reconciled and emboldened myself that these were mere lads of at the threshold of youthfulness. tena muktas tato bāṇaḥ śitaḥ śatrunibarhaṇaḥ, tenāham tāḍitaḥ kṣiptaḥ samudre śatayojane/ rāmasya śarayegena nirasto bhrāntacetanah, pātito 'haṁ tadā tena gambhīre sāgarāmbhasi, prāpya saṃjñāṁ cirāt tāta lankām prati gatah purīm/Even then as Rama released one arrow, I was thrown away some hundred yojanaas away and forcefully swept off my feet right into the deep ocean all though was not dead but saved of life. Then I realised that the force of wind was such as I had thrown across and was benumbed out of shock and fatigue. Subsequently I realised that I was thrown across on the banks of Lankaapuri. evam asmi tadā muktaḥ sahāyās te nipātitāḥ, akrtāstreņa rāmeņa bālenākliṣṭakarmaṇā/ tan mayā vāryamānas tvam yadi rāmena vigraham, karisyasy āpadam ghorām ksipram prāpya naśisyasi/I this manner I was literally escaped and spared of death. At that time Rama was a mere boy bordering youthfulness and was not even properly trained in dhanur vidya while he is a fulfilled hero. Therefore, I am making an appeal to you not to make initiatives of encounter much less in a vily manner. $kr\bar{t}d\bar{a}$ ratividhijñānām samājotsavaśālinām,raksasām caiva samtāpam anartham cāharisvasi/ harmyaprāsādasambādhām nānāratnavibhūṣitām, drakṣyasi tvam purīm lankām vinaṣṭām maithilīkṛte/ Ravana!Why are you concerned and espouse the cause of rakshasaas who were playful- carefree- ever gayful- irresponsible and seek to embrace definitive death! You appear to be obsessed with Mithileshwari Devi Sita, but in the Lankapuri antahpuras are abundant and replete with celestial angels! Why to you like to hasten the 'vidhvamsha' and devastation of the famed Lankapuri the happy haven of Rakshasaas! In case you long to enjoy the feminine charm and bonds of affection of close friends and relatives for ever, leave and ignore the negative psyche and uphold the pride and pratishtha- developmet and progress, contentment and fulfillment of living of the kingdom but never ever sow the seeds of destruction and devastation! Nivāryamānah suhrdā mayā bhrśam; prasahya sītām yadi dharsayisyasi, gamisyasi ksīnabalah sabāndhavo; yamaksayam rāmaśarāttajīvitah/ King Lankeshwara! I am your well wisher and dear brother! Of what avail of kidnapping Devi Sita and end up in the devastation of your maha sena, kith and kin and relatives and friends and opt for 'Yama Yatra'!

Sarga Thirty Nine

Maarecha seeks to further convince Ravanaasura as Mareecha enterered having assumed the form of a Maya Harina or a feigned deer.

Evam asmi tadā muktah katham cit tena samyuge, idānīm api yad vrttam tac chrnusva yad uttaram/ rākṣasābhyām aham dvābhyām anirviṇṇas tathā kṛtah, sahito mṛgarūpābhyām praviṣto daṇḍakāvanam/ dīptajihvo mahākāyas tīkṣṇaśṛṇgo mahābalaḥ, vyacaran daṇḍakāraṇyam māmsabhakṣo mahāmṛgaḥ/ agnihotresu tīrthesu caitvavrksesu rāvana, atvantaghoro vvacarams tāpasāms tān pradharsavan/sa nihatya dandakāranye tāpasān dharmacārinah, rudhirāni pibams teṣām tathā māmsāni bhakṣayan/ rṣimāmsāśanaḥ krūras trāsayan vanagocarān, tadā rudhiramatto 'ham vyacaram daṇḍakāvanam/ tadāham dandakāranye vicaran dharmadūsakah, āsādayam tadā rāmam tāpasam dharmam āśritam/ vaidehīm ca mahābhāgām laksmanam ca mahāratham,tāpasam niyatāhāram sarvabhūtahite ratam/ so 'ham vanagatam rāmam paribhūya mahābalam, tāpaso 'yam iti jñātvā pūrvavairam anusmaran/ abhyadhāvam susamkruddhas tīkṣṇaṣʻṛṅgo mṛgākṛtiḥ, jighāmsur akṛtaprajñas tam prahāram anusmaran tena muktās trayo bāṇāḥ śitāḥ śatrunibarhaṇāḥ, vikṛṣya balavac cāpam suparṇānilatulyagāḥ/ te bāṇā vajrasamkāśāḥ sughorā raktabhojanāh, ājagmuḥ sahitāḥ sarve trayaḥ samnataparvaṇaḥ/ parākramajño rāmasya śatho dṛṣṭabhayaḥ purā, samutkrāntas tato muktas tāv ubhau rāksasau hatau/ śarena mukto rāmasya katham cit prāpya jīvitam, iha pravrājito yuktas tāpaso 'ham samāhitah/ vṛkse vṛkse hi paśyāmi cīrakṛsnājināmbaram, gṛhītadhanusam rāmam pāśahastam ivāntakam/ api rāmasahasrāni bhītah paśyāmi rāvaṇa, rāmabhūtam idam sarvam araṇyam pratibhāti me/rāmam eva hi paśyāmi rahite rāksaseśvara, drstvā svapnagatam rāmam udbhramāmi vicetanah/ rakārādīni nāmāni rāmatrastasva

rāvaṇa, ratnāni ca rathāś caiva trāsam samjanayanti me/ aham tasya prabhāvajño na yuddham tena te kṣamam, raṇe rāmeṇa yudhyasva kṣamām vā kuru rākṣasa, na te rāmakathā kāryā yadi mām draṣṭum icchasi/ idam vaco bandhuhitārthinā mayā; yathocyamānam yadi nābhipatsyase, sabāndhavas tyakṣyasi jīvitam raṇe; hato 'dya rāmeṇa śarair ajihmagaiḥ/

Maareecha continued his death like encounter with Shri Rama and further described its aftermath too. Having assumed the form of a deer, he entered Dandakaaranya as a meat eater and moved about freely and comfortably. He feigned in that form and surreptitiously used to kill and eat the flesh of Munis and drink up their fresh blood. Mareecha asserted that in that manner he happened to move about in the neighbourhood of Ramaashrarama and saw Sri Rama- Devi Sita- and Lakshmana in the forms of tapasvis. He went near Lakshmana and subsequently Rama Sitas too but could not identify them properly as they were dressed up like Munis. Rama then released three arrows playfully towards us as deers. parākramajño rāmasya śaṭho dṛṣṭabhayah purā, samutkrāntas tato muktas tāv ubhau rākṣasau hatau/ I was indeed aware of the taste of 'Rama baanaas' and therefore I jumped out with force and fled away but two co rakshasaas in the same form as deers were instantly killed. śarena mukto rāmasva katham cit prāpya jīvitam, iha pravrājito yuktas tāpaso 'ham samāhitah/ In this manner, having been spared of the arrows, I had eversince talken to a totally different way of living as of then since. It was from that very moment, I have abandoned my earlier mode of living as of now like a Monk. Ravana! Out of sheer fright, I keep visioning thousand Ramas standing before me eversince. And this forest in which I am settled eversince appears replete with Rama and Rama alone. rāmam eva hi paśyāmi rahite rākṣaseśvara, dṛṣṭvā svapnagatam rāmam udbhramāmi vicetanah/ rakārādīni nāmāni rāmatrastasva rāvana, ratnāni ca rathāś caiva trāsam samjanayanti me/ Rakshasa Raja! when ever I am seated alone I keep visioning Rama; in my deams too I keep seeing Rama and Rama alone and get back standing and staring Rama alone! Ravana! I am mortally frightened of Rama and even the words like Ratna or Ratha and all the words starting from 'Rakaara' as my spine rewinds and enters my mind with heaviness! aham tasya prabhāvajño na yuddham tena te ksamam, rane rāmena yudhyasva ksamām vā kuru rāksasa, na te rāmakathā kāryā yadi mām draṣṭum icchasi/ I am totally seized of the nightmare of Rama and his might and trait both physically and mentally. That is why my unequivocal assertion of refraining confrontation against Rama; he could suppress a Bali Chakravarti or Nahusha by his brain and brawn! Ravana! Either you could fight with Rama or pardon him or ignore, but my appeal to you is to very kindly please refrain from any reference or discussion about him. Nishaachara! I too could be involved in other's affairs and as such what ever you deem the best you may do so without involving others. In case you feel that what Shurpanakha had misbehaved with Rama Lakshmans or if Rama devastated Khara Dushanas, what could be my involment in this at my personal risk of my own termination!

[<u>Vishleshanaas as per Essence of Valmiki Bala Ramayana vide Sargas Twenty Nine and Seventy respectively on Bali Chakravarti and Nahusha respectively:</u>

Bali Chakravarti:

Having been trained in all these disciplines, Vamana Deva had one fine morning left for the Yagna Shaala of Bali Chakravarti as the latter was executing a SacredYagna while carrying his mat, danda /stick, chhatra / umbrella and kamandulu / water vessel. Danava Guru Shukracharya was aware that Vishnu Deva in the form of Vamana Murti was arriving at the Yagna and briefed Bali Chakravarti to be extremely careful as Vishnu was a sauve and highly talented person to put words in the mouths of the opponents. The Guru reminded Chakravarti that the latter denied the age-old practice of rights to yagna's shares to Devataas and that Vamana Murti might as well ask for the revival of the practice but those shares were now enjoying by Danava Chiefs. Bali replied to Danava Guru that in case Vishnu in the incarnation of Vamana Murti came and requested for any thing then how could a King say 'no' to it! Bali told the Danava Guru: Brahmanaachaarya! How could I deny any body requesting me for a favour! And if that Supreme Deva asked me for a charity, then what else would be the alternative! While Parameswara

received the fruits of Vrataas, Upavaasaas, and so on from one and all, and if that Parameswara himself asked a boon from me, could there be a greater fortune to me! When even an ordinary person approached me for a favour, then too that could not be denied by a King; then when Narayana himself asked for it, could such an opportunity presented itself, this chance could never indeed be missed. Even if there are difficulties in executing a charity, the value of charity would get multiplied and 'Veera purushaas' would never deter from performing the deed) Having said the above, Bali asked Shukraachaarya: YatagjnaatwaaMunisreshtha!Daanavighna karenamey, Naiva Bhavyam Jagannaathey Govidey samupastithey! (By understanding the above, Munisreshta! Please do not create 'Daana Vighnaas' or hurdles in the execution of the Charity!). As Vamana Deva arrived at the Yagna shaala, Bali welcomed him, offered 'Arghya', 'Aasana', Puja and offered him limitless gold, jewellery, elephants, horses, cows, women, clothes, bunches of villages or townships or whatever would be his wish! Vamana Deva replied smilingly: Mamagnisharanaarthaaya dehi Rajan Padatrayam, Suvarnagraamaratnaadi tadarthibhyah pradeeyataam/ (Raja! Please provide to me three feet of land to enable me to set up an Agni- Shaala). Bali said that after all three feet would be nothing as he could ask for a lakh of feet which could be given away, but Vamana Deva replied that he was indeed satisfied with that much of Bhumi and if the King were to offer more he might as well provide to the other needy! Bali Chakravarti readily agreed not understanding the implication and as the deed of Daana was being executed and Vamana Deva extended his hand to the King and expanded his Vamana Rupa gradually immediately: Instantly, Vamana Murti displayed his Virat Swarupa: Chandra and Surya were his two Eyes, Shy was his head, Prithvi his feet, Pishachaas were his foot-fingers, Gruhyakaas were his hand fingers, Vishwa Deva Ganaas were in his jaanus /knees, Sadhyas were his janghaas, Yakshaas were his nails, Apsarsaas were his palm lines, Nakshatras were his Eye sight, Surya kiranas were his hairs, Stars were his body hairs, Maharshiganaas were in the hair roots, Vidishas were his hands, Dishaas were his ears, Ashwini Kumars were his faculty of hearing, Vayu was his nose, Chandra Deva was his joking faculty, Dharma Deva was his thinking capacity, Satya was his voice and Saraswati was his tongue, Deva Mata Aditi was his neck, Vidya was his valiyaas or long poles; Pushas were his eye brows, Swarga dwar was his anus, Vaishvanara his face, Prajapati his vrushanaas, Param Brahma was his heart, Kashyapa Muni was his Pumstwa, Vasu Devata was his back, Marutganaas were his Sandhis, Rudra was his Vakshasthala, Mahaarnavaa was his Dhairya, Gangharvas were in his stomach; Lakshmi, Medha, Dhruti, Kaanti and all Vidyaas were in his 'Kati Pradesha'; the luster and radiance in the total Universe as also the Tapo teja or the power of meditation was the reflection of the magnificence of Natayana; Vedas and Sciptures and the huge Yagnaas and the Sacred Deeds of the Virtuous like Maharshis and Brahmanas were all inside in his 'kukshi' or belly. On viewing the Paramatma's 'Virat Swarupa', the so called 'Mahaasuraas' referred to earlier in ignorance by Chakravarti Bali before Prahlada's curse to him got burnt off like flies before a gigantic out berak of Fire! Having thus occupied the Universe in totality including the sub-terrain Sapta Paatalaas, Vamana Deva stated that since Bali took the water in his hand and donated the THREE FEET of Land, and blessed him to be the King of the Sapta Paatalaas and granted him long life till the end of Manvantara of the on-going Vaisawata Manu. He also blessed Bali that all the 'Homa Phalas' at the time of Shraddhas to be performed even by Brahmanas, besides incomplete and defective Vratas, Agni Kaaryaas without ghee, and Kusha grass roots as also the daanas without detachment would belong to Bali and his followers.

Nahusha:

Nahusha who was also in the lineage of Pururava had the distinction of peforming ninety nine Ashwamedha Yagnas and was nearly qualified to become Indra who should have executed hundred Yagnas. Meanwhile there was a temoporary vacancy of Indratwa since Indra fled away since he killed Vritrasura with the help of the Vajrayudha made out of Sage Dadhichis's backbone; Vritrasura who was a Brahmana by birth and Brahma Hatya Sin chased Indra. Brahma thus appointed Nahusha as temporary Indra. Nahusha who was originally a King of Great Virtue bacame arrogant and power-mongering as he became Indra and claimed all the privileges belonging to Indra like Vajrayudha, Iravata the Elephant and even Indra's wife Sachi Devi. Nahusha insisted that Sachi Devi be his keep! Sachi Devi was non-plussed

at this proposal. As advised by Deva Guru Brihaspati, she asked Nahusha to come to her residence but he should do so just as Indra was in the habit of arriving at her residence by a Palki (Palanquin) which actually was carried by Maharshis. Nahusha was excited to reach her Palace quickly and having got into the palanquin commanded Agastya Muni to reach him to Sachi Devi's Place at once; he said 'Sarpa Sarpa' meaning 'Quick, Quick' and in the process gave a kick to the Muni to go fast. Asgastya purposively misunderstood the word and converted the arrogant Nahusha as an Ajagara (Python) and dropped the latter to the depths of Bhuloka into thick forests. As a repentant Nahusha begged of clemency, the Maharshi granted a reprieve that the 'Shaapa Vimochana' would be possible only when Pandavas reached the forest for twelve long years before their 'Ajnaata Vasa' or Unknown Destiny having lost a bet in the 'Maya Juda' or wilful game of chess. As Draupadi desired to secure a Sugandhika Flower Bheema got into a pond and the Ajagara caught him and agreed to release him only if he gave correct replies to the Serpent's queries. Yudhishtara had to arrive and release Bhima and Nahusha alike. Meanwhile Brihaspati and Agastya found that Indra was hiding in a lotus stem in Mana Sarovara Lake and brought him back and prayed to Brahma who exonerated Nahusha from the Brahma Hatya Sin on the ground that Vitra was no boubt a Brahmana but committed sins of killing several virtuous and innocents]

Sarga Forty

Ravanasura resents Mareecha's argumentative pattern and commands Mareecha to get involved in the mission of 'Sitaapaharana' while detailing the plan of abduction

Mārīcena tu tad vākyam kṣamam yuktam ca rāvaṇah, ukto na pratijagrāha martukāma ivauṣadham/ tam pathyahitavaktāram mārīcam rāksasādhipah,abravīt parusam vākyam ayuktam kālacoditah/ yat kilaitad ayuktārtham mārīca mayi kathyate, vākyam nisphalam atyartham bījam uptam ivosare/ tvadvākyair na tu mām śakyam bhettum rāmasya samyuge, pāpaśīlasya mūrkhasya mānusasya viśesatah/ yas tyaktyā suhrdo rājyam mātaram pitaram tathā, strīvākyam prākrtam śrutvā vanam ekapade gatah/ avaśyam tu mayā tasya samyuge kharaghātinaḥ, prāṇaiḥ priyatarā sītā hartavyā tava samnidhau/ evam me niścitā buddhir hrdi mārīca vartate, na vyāvartavitum sakvā sendrair api surāsuraih/dosam gunam vā samprstas tvam evam vaktum arhasi apāvam vāpv upāvam vā kārvasvāsva viniścave/ samprstena tu vaktavyam sacivena vipaścitā, udyatāñjalinā rājño ya icched bhūtim ātmanaḥ/ vākyam apratikūlam tu mrdupūrvam subham hitam, upacārena yuktam ca vaktavyo vasudhādhipah/ sāvamardam tu yad vākyam mārīca hitam ucyate, nābhinandati tad rājā mānārho mānavarjitam/ pañcarūpāni rājāno dhārayanty amitaujasah, agner indrasya somasya yamasya varunasya ca, ausnyam tathā vikramam ca saumyam dandam prasannatām/ tasmāt sarvāsv avasthāsu mānyāh pūjyās ca pārthivāh, tvam tu dharmam avijñāya kevalam moham āsthitaḥ/ abhyāgatam mām daurātmyāt paruṣam vadasīdṛśam, guṇadoṣau na pṛcchāmi kşamam cātmani rākṣasa, asmims tu sa bhavān kṛtye sāhāyyam kartum arhati/ sauvarṇas tvam mṛgo bhūtvā citro rajatabindubhih, pralobhayitvā vaidehīm yathestam gantum arhasi/tvām tu māyāmṛgam drstvā kāncanam jātavismavā, ānavainam iti ksipram rāmam vaksvati maithilī/ apakrānte ca kākutsthe laksmane ca vathāsukham, ānavisvāmi vaidehīm sahasrāksah śacīm iva/ evam krtvā tv idam kārvam yatheṣṭaṁ gaccha rākṣasa, rājyasyārdhaṁ pradāsyāmi mārīca tava suvrata/ gaccha saumya śivaṁ mārgam kāryasyāsya vivrddhaye, prāpya sītām ayuddhena vañcayitvā tu rāghavam, lankām prati gamisyāmi kṛtakāryah saha tvayā/ etat kāryam avaśyam me balād api karisyasi, rājño hi pratikūlastho na jātu sukham edhate/āsādya tam jīvitasamsayas te; mṛtyur dhruvo hy adya mayā virudhya, etad yathāvat parigrhya buddhyā; yad atra pathyam kuru tat tathā tvam/

As Ravanaasura did not heed the caution note of Mareecha like a patient would not even intake the prescribed medicine, the latter shouted on Mareecha: Useless Mareecha born of a low class! I have suffered enough of your useless lecture. After all this Rama is a human and I do not have to stoop down to fight with him and my decision to abduct his woman is final and unalterable. He is such a stupid to follow the decision of woman named Kaikeyi - his step mother, could discard his kingship, own mother, friends and associates is wandering in dandakaranya, kills Khara and his co- rakshasaas; I am now bent on

abducting his wife and bring him to senses from his arrogance and superior feelings and thus make his life miserable.Mareecha! My decision is so intense that even Indraadi Devas and even co-rakshasaas would not be altered! Whether my decision is correct or improper is not to be discussed now but as to how to execute and get facilitated is what is expected of you but not your futile lecture! A Minister is normally expected to politely describe the ways and means to plan out and execute the Royal Decree but certainly not to question the very decision of the King. While addressing a King with authority, the adviser would need to be reasonable, submissive, and in a manner of giving conviction with folded hands with utmost respectfulness, but not be arrogant, careless and argumentative. A raja craves for and is hungry of praises and even the conversation of a Subject needs to be initiated with his or her pronouncement of submission. Nishaachara! The ever bright King is a celestial representation of Agni-Indra-Soma-Yama and Varuna and thus signifies five 'gumas' or characteristics-Pratapa-Parakrama-Soumya bhava - dandaand prasannata or Courage-Bravery-Cool minded maturity- hardness of enforcement-and pleasantness. Therefore a King is worthy of worship. Mareecha! You are forgetting the feature of your dutifulness and are obsessed with your own subjective intrepretation of dharma and nyaaya disrgard of desha-kaalaparisthitis! Mareecha! I am your 'abyaagata atitthi' and you are only obsessed with your own ideas leaving no scope for mental adjustment and objective understanding. Mayotttamapi chataavat twaam pratyamitavikramam, amsmistu sa bhavaan kritye sayaayyam kartumarhasi/Amita paraakrami Maareecha! I have merely suggested that in this plan of mine, you should assist me .Listen to me carefully: Donning golden skin, convert yourself as a deer dotting your body with silver spots and move around Ramaashrama to attract Devi Sita's personal attention and be evasive running around without being caught./ tvām tu māvāmrgam drstvā kāñcanam jātavismavā, ānavainam iti ksipram rāmam vaksvati maithilī/ apakrānte ca kākutsthe laksmane ca vathāsukham, ānavisvāmi vaidehīm sahasrāksah śacīm iva/ evam krtvā tv idam kāryam yathestam gaccha rāksasa, rājyasyārdham pradāsyāmi mārīca tava suvrata/ On noticing the maayaa kanchana mriga, Mithileshwari Sita should be terribly surprised and then ask Rama to run and catch hold of the queer deer, when Rama should seek to catch it and then by imitating Rama's own voice keep shouting: 'Ha Rama Ha Lakshmana' repeatedly. Then Lakshmana would be desapatched and avanasura woud enter as a fake Muni like Indra abducted Shachi Devi! Then you would be free to go where you wish and as a gift, I should award to you one half of Lanka Rajya to you!' gaccha saumya śivam mārgam kāryasyāsya vivrddhaye, prāpya sītām ayuddhena vañcavityā tu rāghavam, lankām prati gamişyāmi krtakāryah saha tvayā/ Soumya Maareecha! Do therefore get ready to go cracking up and I wish you best of luck and fortune!

Sarga Forty One

Maareecha issues ultimate warning to the doom of Rayana and disaster of Lanka Kingdom

Aajñapto rājavad vākyam pratikūlam niśācaraḥ, abravīt paruṣam vākyam mārīco rākṣasādhipam/kenāyam upadiṣṭas te vināśaḥ pāpakarmaṇā, saputrasya sarāṣṭrasya sāmātyasya niśācara/kas tvayā sukhinā rājan nābhinandati pāpakṛt, kenedam upadiṣṭam te mṛtyudvāram upāyataḥ/śatravas tava suvyaktam hīnavīryā niśācara, icchanti tvām vinaśyantam uparuddham balīyasā/kenedam upadiṣṭam te kṣudreṇāhitavādinā, yas tvām icchati naśyantam svakṛtena niśācara/vadhyāḥ khalu na hanyante sacivās tava rāvaṇa, ye tvām utpatham ārūḍham na nigṛhṇanti sarvaśaḥ/amātyaiḥ kāmavṛtto hi rājā kāpatham āśritaḥ, nigrāhyaḥ sarvathā sadbhir na nigrāhyo nigṛhyase/dharmam artham ca kāmam ca yaśaś ca jayatām vara, svāmiprasādāt sacivāḥ prāpnuvanti niśācara/viparyaye tu tat sarvam vyartham bhavati rāvaṇa, vyasanam svāmivaiguṇyāt prāpnuvantītare janāḥ/rājamūlo hi dharmaś ca jayaś ca jayatām vara, tasmāt sarvāsv avasthāsu rakṣitavyo narādhipaḥ/rājyam pālayitum śakyam na tīkṣṇena niśācara, na cāpi pratikūlena nāvinītena rākṣasa/ ye tīkṣṇamantrāḥ sacivā bhajyante saha tena vai, viṣameṣu rathāḥ śīghram mandasārathayo yathā/ bahavaḥ sādhavo loke yuktadharmam anuṣṭhitāḥ, pareṣām aparādhena vinaṣṭāḥ saparicchadāḥ/ svāminā pratikūlena prajās tīkṣṇena rāvaṇa, rakṣyamāṇā na vardhante meṣā gomāyunā yathā/ avaśyam vinaśiṣyanti sarve rāvaṇa rākṣasāḥ, yeṣām tvam karkaśo rājā durbuddhir ajitendriva/ tad idam kākatālīvam ghoram āsāditam tvavā, atra kim śobhanam vat tvam

sasainyo vinaśiṣyasi/ mām nihatya tu rāmo 'sau nacirāt tvām vadhiṣyati, anena kṛtakṛtyo 'smi mriye yad ariṇā hataḥ/darśanād eva rāmasya hatam mām upadhāraya, ātmānam ca hatam viddhi hṛtvā sītām sabāndhavam/ ānayiṣyasi cet sītām āśramāt sahito mayā, naiva tvam asi naivāham naiva lankā na rākṣasāḥ/ nivāryamāṇas tu mayā hitaiṣiṇā; na mṛṣyase vākyam idam niśācara, paretakalpā hi gatāyuṣo narā; hitam na gṛḥṇanti suhṛdbhir īritam/

As Ravana reacted against the pleadings and advises of Mareecha in the visit of the King seeking Mareecha's assistance, the desperate Mareecha displayed his rebellion. Maareecha shouted at Ravana: Maha Rakshasa Ravana! Which hopeless Rakshasa has advised you this disastrous plan which ought to lead to the doom of yourself, your sons, kingdom and ministers. That worst enemy of yours under the garb of wellwisher is very obviously unhappy and jealous of your supremacy seeks to the verge of death and collapse of your being! Rakshasa raaja! That worst enemy of yours like a wolf in the garb of a Lion aims at a hit of your death! The duty of a well meaning Mantri to a Raja is required to stop the travel of a chariot up the crumbling hill of disaster! It is that Minister and Adviser whose reaponsibility is to stop and reverse the way of a King in the name of the Purusharthaas of Dharma-Artha- Kama- Yashas! Ravana! Like a royal indescretion, a small drop of fire leads to devastation to the praja in full swing. Ever victorious Rakshasa Raja! Dharma is the seed of 'Yashas' or virtue begets fame and popularity; under all possible circumstances a popular king needs to be saved from the traps of public disgust and noconfidence. Indeed therefore the public confidence is to be proactive but never to be anti public. A noble Adviser is like an efficient saarathi or charioteer who on the battle field proves to be a true friendphilosopher and guide. Surely a dull and inactive saarathi if ignorant of the ups and downs of the battle ground might land the charioteer to the sure downfall and similarly in the experience of life. Ravana! In an atmosphere of antipathy, it should be the public opinion that safeguards a critical crisis but an owl or a vily fox takes you to disaster and tragedy. Even a casual indiscretion leads to a frightening concequence as is my personal experience but in your case the risk of a battle is far-reaching as the entire army might be wiped off! By following your directive of assuming a fake deer form and tempting Rama to chase me, is most assuredly my chase of 'mrityu' and secure salvation of death by his hands, especially a 'veera swarga'. Rakshasa Raja! Darshanaadeva Ramasya hatam maamyadhaaraya, aatmaanam cha hatam viddhi hatvaa Sitaam sabandhavam/ It is most certain that by attracting my 'mayaa harina swarupa' Rama should kill me after a little chase, but you ought to realise that your comfortable existence should get rattled along with your entire vamsha and sena too as there would be Lankapuri nor its followers and population! nivāryamāṇas tu mayā hitaiṣiṇā; na mṛṣyase vākyam idam niśācara, paretakalpā hi gatāyuṣo narā; hitam na grhnanti suhrdbhir īritam/ Nishaachara Lankeshwara! I am your sincere devotee and hence seeking to forestall the prospective disaster, but those who are in the spell of 'mrityu' and their life span is closing nearby would not be able to resist death; indeed; the truism is assertive: Vinaasha kaale vipareeta buddhi!

Sarga Forty Two

Rakshasa Maareecha forced by Ravanaasura to assume the deer form of glitter and attract Sita's attention

Evam uktvā tu paruṣam mārīco rāvaṇam tataḥ, gacchāvety abravīd dīno bhayād rātrimcaraprabhoḥ/dṛṣṭaś cāham punas tena śaracāpāsidhāriṇā, madvadhodyataśastreṇa vinaṣṭam jīvitam ca me/kim tu kartum mayā śakyam evam tvayi durātmani, eṣa gacchāmy aham tāta svasti te 'stu niśācara/ prahṛṣṭas tv abhavat tena vacanena sa rākṣasaḥ, pariṣvajya susamśliṣṭam idam vacanam abravīt/ etac chauṇḍīrya -yuktam te macchandād iva bhāṣitam, idānīm asi mārīcaḥ pūrvam anyo niśācaraḥ/āruhyatām ayam śīghram khago ratnavibhūṣitaḥ, mayā saha ratho yuktaḥ piśācavadanaiḥ kharaiḥ/ tato rāvaṇamārīcau vimānam iva tam ratham,āruhya yayatuḥ śīghram tasmād āśramamaṇḍalāt/ tathaiva tatra paśyantau pattanāni vanāni ca, girīmś ca saritaḥ sarvā rāṣṭrāṇi nagarāṇi ca/ sametya daṇḍakāraṇyam rāghavasyāśramam tataḥ, dadarśa sahamarīco rāvaṇo rākṣasādhipaḥ/ avatīrya rathāt tasmāt tataḥ kāñcanabhūsanāt, haste grhītvā mārīcam rāvano vākvam abravīt/ etad rāmāśramapadam drśvate

kadalīvrtam,kriyatām tat sakhe śīghram yadartham vayam āgatāh/ sa rāvanavacah śrutvā mārīco rāksasas tadā, mrgo bhūtvāśramadvāri rāmasya vicacāra ha/manipravaraśrṅgāgrah sitāsitamukhākrtih, raktapadmotpalamukha indranīlotpalaśravāh/ kim cid abhyunnata grīva indranīlanibhodaraḥ, madhūkanibhapārśvaś ca kañjakiñjalkasamnibhah/vaidūryasamkāśakhuras tanujanghah susamhatah, indrāvudhasavarnena pucchenordhvam virājitah/ manoharasnigdhavarno ratnair nānāvidhair vrtah, kṣaṇena rākṣaso jāto mṛgaḥ paramaśobhanaḥ/ vanam prajvalayan ramyam rāmāśramapadam ca tat, manoharam darśanīyam rūpam kṛtvā sa rākṣasah/pralobhanārtham vaidehyā nānādhātuvicitritam, vicaran gacchate samyak śādvalāni samantatah/ rūpyabinduśataiś citro bhūtvā ca privadarśanah, viṭapīnām kisalayān bhanktvādan vicacāra ha/kadalīgṛhakam gatvā karṇikārān itas tataḥ, samāśrayan mandagatih sītāsamdarśanam tadā/ rājīvacitrapṛsthah sa virarāja mahāmṛgah, rāmāśramapadābhyāśe vicacāra yathāsukham/punar gatvā nivṛttaś ca vicacāra mṛgottamah, gatvā muhūrtam tvarayā punah pratinivartate/vikrīḍams ca punar bhūmau punar eva niṣīdati, āsramadvāram āgamya mṛgayūthāni gacchati/ mṛgayūthair anugataḥ punar eva nivartate, sītādarśanam ākānkṣan rākṣaso mṛgatām gatah/ paribhramati citrāṇi maṇḍalāni viniṣpatan, samudvīkṣya ca sarve tam mṛgā ye 'nye vanecarāḥ/ upagamya samāghrāya vidravanti diśo daśa, rāksasah so 'pi tān yanyān mrgān mrgavadhe ratah' pracchādanārtham bhāvasya na bhakṣayati samspṛśan, tasminn eva tataḥ kāle vaidehī śubhalocanā/ kusumāpacaye vyagrā pādapān atyavartata, karņikārān aśokāms ca cūṭāms ca madirekṣaṇā/kusumāny apacinvantī cacāra rucirānanā, anarhāranyavāsasya sā tam ratnamayam mrgam, muktāmanivicitrāngam dadarśa paramānganā./ tam vai ruciradantaustham rūpyadhātutanūruham, vismayotphullanayanā sasneham samudaikṣata/ sa ca tām rāmadayitām paśyan māyāmayo mṛgaḥvicacāra tatas tatra dīpayann iva tad vanam/ adrstapūrvam drstvā tam nānāratnamavam mrgam, vismavam paramam sītā jagāma janakātmajā/

Having cursed Ravanasura to his heart's contentment, Mareecha then got readied to leave for dandakaranya and felt that once Shri Rama sights him in the maya mriga swarupa then his life's closure should be almost ceratain. None indeed could ever survive the 'yama danda', as soon as he would approach Devi Sditha in the Maya Mriga Swarupa. Bhagavan! What could I do any way as I have a death trap both sides! As Mareecha was thus reconciled to certain death either way, then Ravana hugged him and affirmed that thus onward Mareecha had come to his real form as a rakshasa but not as an ever doubting and timid human. Then Ravana initiated his travel to dandakaranya by his fierce donkey driven golden chariot studded with the glitter of mani-maanikyas by the speed of winds as per the sky line. Addressing Mareecha, Ravana stressed: Pralobhaitvaa vaideheem atheshtham gantumarhasi, taam shunye prasabham sitaamaanaishtyaami maithileem/ Maareecha! Your siglemost duty now should be tempt Sita with your maayaa mriga swarupa and as soon as dust appears on the sky, I should be forcibly abduct Sita! On their way to dandakaaranya by their Pishaca like donkey chariot, they witnessed thick forests, gardens, mountains, number less rivers, raashtras, cities and villages before sighting dandakaaranya. Then Ravana took his hands in Maraacha's hands with false affection and confirmed that the Ramaashrama was visible from the skies and that they had indeed arrived. sa rāvanavacah śrutvā mārīco rāksasas tadā, mrgo bhūtvāśramadvāri rāmasva vicacāra ha/manipravaraśrṅgāgrah sitāsitamukhākṛtiḥ, rakta padmopalamukha indranīlotpalaśravāḥ/kim cid abhyunnata grīva indranīlanibhodarah, madhūkanibhapārśvaś ca kañjakiñjalkasamnibhah/ As soon as Ravana's voice was heard, instantly Mareecha turned into the form of Maya Mriga and appeared at the doors of the Rama ashrama. It's upper horns glittered Indraneela Mani, face like red lotus colour, forehead white and black spots, ear lobes like blue lotuses, a fairly heightened neck, the stomach inclined like indraneela mani, side view is of white colour and the overall body is of kesara varna. Rakshasa Mareecha had thus become like a twinkling Star attraction of that segment of dandakaaranya. pralobhanārtham vaidehyā nānādhātuvicitritam, vicaran gacchate samyak śādvalāni samantatah/ Merely to tempt Devi Sita, the multi coloured 'harini' appeared now here and now there running about and eating leaves and flowers by slow movement and rapid runnings suddenly as being playful and enticing. vikrīdam's ca punar bhūmau punar eva niṣīdati, āśramadvāram āgamya mṛgayūthāni gacchati/ The 'vichitra mriga' jumps suddenly, plays everywhere and moves in all directions and suddenly distinguishes itself in a crowd of fellow deer!

Indeed, the Rakshasa's prime desire is to attract his attention. sa ca tām rāmadayitām paśyan māyāmayo mṛgah, vicacāra tatas tatra dīpayann iva tad vanam/ adṛṣṭapūrvam dṛṣṭvā tam nānāratnamayam mṛgam, vismayam paramam sītā jagāma janakātmajā/ Thus the maya mriga having thus closely drawn the attention of Devi Sita realised that it was a rare find, never ever seen-much less imagined in her life time ever and kept on gazing with concentration as never before!

Sarga Forty Three

Even as Lakshmana doubted about the Maya Mriga, Sita was bent to secure it alive or dead and Rama had to yield to her intense wish proceeded with the chase, while entrusting responsibility to Lakshmana. chase.

Sā tam samprekṣya suśroṇī kusumāni vicinvatī, hemarājatavarṇābhyām pārśvābhyām upaśobhitam/ prahṛṣṭā cānavadyāṅgī mṛṣṭahāṭakavarṇinī, bhartāram api cākrandal lakṣmaṇam caiva sāyudham/ tayāhūtau naravyāghrau vaidehyā rāmalakṣmaṇau, vīkṣamāṇau tu tam deśam tadā dadṛśatur mṛgam/ śaṅkamānas tu tam dṛṣṭvā lakṣmaṇo rāmam abravīt, tam evainam aham manye mārīcam rākṣasam mṛgam/ caranto mṛgayām hṛṣṭāḥ pāpenopādhinā vane, anena nihatā rāma rājānaḥ kāmarūpiṇā/ asya māyāvido māyāmṛgarūpam idam kṛtam, bhānumatpuruṣavyāghra gandharvapurasamnibham/ mṛgo hy evamvidho ratnavicitro nāsti rāghava, jagatyām jagatīnātha māyaiṣā hi na samśayaḥ/ evam bruvāṇam kākutstham prativā

rya śucismitā, uvāca sītā samhrṣṭā chadmanā hṛtacetanā/ āryaputrābhirāmo 'sau mṛgo harati me manaḥ ānayainam mahābāho krīdārtham no bhavisyati/ ihāśramapade 'smākam bahavah puṇyadarśanāh, mṛgāś caranti sahitāś camarāḥ sṛmarās tathā/ r̥kṣāḥ pṛṣatasaṃghāś ca vānarāḥ kimnarās tathā, vicaranti mahābāho rūpaśresthā mahābalāh/ na cāsya sadršo rājan drstapūrvo mrgah purā tejasā ksamayā dīptyā yathāyam mṛgasattamah/ nānāvarnavicitrāngo ratnabindusamācitah, dyotayan vanam avyagram śobhate śaśisamnibhah/ aho rūpam aho lakṣmīḥ svarasampac ca śobhanā, mṛgo 'dbhuto vicitro 'sau hṛdayam haratīva me/ yadi grahaṇam abhyeti jīvann eva mṛgas tava, āścaryabhūtam bhavati vismayam janayişyati/ samāptavanavāsānām rājyasthānām ca nah punah, antahpuravibhūṣārtho mṛga eṣa bhavişyati/ bharatasyāryaputrasya śvaśrūṇām mama ca prabho, mṛgarūpam idam divyam vismayam janayişyati/ jīvan na yadi te 'bhyeti grahaṇam mṛgasattamaḥ, ajinam naraśārdūla ruciram me bhavişyati/ nihatasyāsya sattvasya jāmbūnadamayatvaci, śaspabrsyām vinītāyām icchāmy aham upāsitum/ kāmavrttam idam raudram strīnām asadrsam matam, vapusā tv asya sattvasya vismayo janito mama/tena kāñcanaromnā tu manipravaraśrṅginā, tarunādityavarnena naksatrapathavarcasā,babhūva rāghavasyāpi mano vismayam āgatam/ evam sītāvacah śrutvā dṛstvā ca mṛgam adbhutam, uvāca rāghavo hṛsto bhrātaram lakṣmaṇam vacaḥ/ paśya lakṣmaṇa vaidehyāḥ spṛhām mṛgagatām imām, rūpaśreṣṭhatayā hy eşa mrgo 'dya na bhavişyati' na vane nandanoddese na caitrarathasamsraye, kutah pṛthivyām saumitre yo 'sya kaś cit samo mrgah' pratilomānulomāś ca rucirā romarājayah, śobhante mrgam āśritya citrāh kanakabindubhih/ paśyāsya jṛmbhamāṇasya dīptām agniśikhopamām, jihvām mukhān nihsarantīm meghād iva śatahradām/ masāragalvarkamukhaḥ śankhamuktānibhodaraḥ, kasya nāmānirūpyo 'sau na mano lobhayen mṛgaḥ/ kasya rūpam idam dṛṣṭvā jāmbūnadamayaprabham, nānāratnamayam divyam na mano vismayam vrajet/ māmsahetor api mṛgān vihārārtham ca dhanvinah ghnanti laksmana rājāno mrgayāyām mahāvane/ dhanāni vyavasāvena vicīyante mahāvane, dhātavo vividhāś cāpi maniratnasuvarninah/ tat sāram akhilam nīnām dhanam nicayavardhanam,manasā cintitam sarvam yathā śukrasya lakṣmaṇa/ arthī yenārthakṛtyena samvrajaty avicārayan, tam artham arthaśāstrajñaḥ prāhur arthyāś ca lakṣmaṇa/ etasya mṛgaratnasya parārdhye kāñcanatvaci, upavekṣyati vaidehī mayā saha sumadhyamā/ na kādalī na priyakī na pravenī na cāvikī, bhaved etasya sadṛśī sparśaneneti me matiḥ/ eṣa caiva mṛgaḥ śrīmān yaś ca divyo nabhaścaraḥ, ubhāv etau mṛgau divyau tārāmṛgamahīmṛgaw/ yadi vāyam tathā yan mām bhaved vadasi laksmana, māyaisā rāksasasyeti kartavyo sya vadho mayā/ etena hi nṛśaṃsena mārīcenākṛtātmanā, vane vicaratā pūrvaṃ hiṃsitā munipuṃgavāh/ utthāya bahavo yena mṛgayāyām janādhipāḥ, nihatāḥ parameṣvāsās tasmād vadhyas tv ayam mṛgaḥ/ purastād iha vātāpiḥ paribhūya tapasvinaḥ, udarastho dvijān hanti svagarbho 'śvatarīm iva/ sa kadā cic

cirāl loke āsasāda mahāmunim, agastyam tejasā yuktam bhakṣyas tasya babhūva ha/ samutthāne ca tad rūpam kartukāmam samīkṣya tam, utsmayitvā tu bhagavān vātāpim idam abravīt/ tvayāvigaṇya vātāpe paribhūtāś ca tejasā, jīvaloke dvijaśreṣṭhās tasmād asi jarām gataḥ/ evam tan na bhaved rakṣo vātāpir iva lakṣmaṇa, madvidham yo 'timanyeta dharmanityam jitendriyam/ bhaved dhato 'yam vātāpir agastyeneva mā gatiḥ, iha tvam bhava samnaddho yantrito rakṣa maithilīm/ asyām āyattam asmākam yat kṛtyam raghunandana,aham enam vadhiṣyāmi grahīṣyāmy atha vā mṛgam/ yāvad gacchāmi saumitre mṛgam ānayitum drutam, paśya lakṣmaṇa vaidehīm mṛgatvaci gataspṛhām/ tvacā pradhānayā hy eṣa mṛgo 'dya na bhaviṣyati, apramattena te bhāvyam āśramasthena sītayā/ yāvat pṛṣatam ekena sāyakena nihanmy aham, hatvaitac carma ādāya śīghram eṣyāmi lakṣmaṇa/ pradakṣiṇenātibalena pakṣiṇā; jaṭāyuṣā buddhimatā ca lakṣmaṇa, bhavāpramattaḥ pratigṛhya maithilīm; pratikṣaṇam sarvata eva śankitaḥ/

Devi Sita was literally mesmerised on staring at the Maya Mriga and asked Rama to go get it along with Lakshmana. Lakshmana had at once expressed his doubt whether Mareecha Rakshasa had arrived in that fake form. He said that the great sinner was used to assume such forms and kill kings and princes ruthlessly. Rama! He is an expert in assuming such attractive forms and create illusions. Raghunandana! In the entire creation this type of form would be unimaginable. Surely Mareecha seeks to entice Sita. Then Sita became obsessed with the sight and repeated her request to fetch it and make me happy to play and enjoy with it. Indeed this animal is unusually strange and unbelievable with strange colour combinations. Its swarupa is unique, its physical features are unimaginable and the callous manner in which it moves about is strange and free. yadi grahanam abhyeti jīvann eva mṛgas tava, āścaryabhūtam bhavati vismayam janayişyati/ samāptavanavāsānām rājyasthānām ca naḥ punaḥ, antaḥpuravibhūṣārtho mrga esa bhavisyati/ If only this deer is in my possession, this should be worthy of popular exhibit of my pleasure and pride. As and when this 'aranya vana vaasa' gets concluded and we return back to ayodhya, this should be a befitting gift to Bharata, my mothers in law and even the ayodhya public. Even whenever we spend our freetime together seated on dry grass leisurely, we could play with this animal and cockle our hearts.' As Rama too was enthused and impressed with the strange and singularly animal, Rama stated: paśya lakṣmaṇa vaidehyāḥ spṛhām mṛgagatām imām, rūpaśreṣṭhatayā hy eṣa mṛgo 'dva na bhavisyati/ na vane nandanoddeśe na caitrarathasamśrave, kutah prthivyām saumitre vo 'sya kaś cit samo mṛgaḥ/ Lakshmana! Look at this readily enticing creature and no wonder, Sita is entirely hecked up with passion by this most fascinating animal which is truly amazing. Sumitra nandana! This type of an animal is perhaps unseen even in Deva Raja Indra's Nandanavana nor in Kubera's Chaitrarathavana but has descended to Bhuoika! Look at this radiance like 'agni shikhaas' or flashes of flames. Its face is like the brightness of Indra Neela Mani, its lower part of tummy is like a conchshell and white like pearl Tell me as to whose mind would not get allured to it! Lakshmana the lasting royal hobby is to play with deers by shooting arrows in style and fun and eventually kill them for its skins as a playful hobby. Lakshmana! yadi vāyam tathā yan mām bhaved vadasi lakṣmaṇa, māyaiṣā rākṣasasyeti kartavyo 'sya vadho mayā/ etena hi nrśamsena mārīcenākrtātmanā, vane vicaratā pūrvam himsitā munipumgavāh/ As you have suspected that Rakshasa Maareecha had indeed appeared here in this unusual form, I ought to kill him for good, as he used to torment and kill several princes and kings, besides innumerable Munis in deep tapasya ruthlessly. purastād iha vātāpih paribhūya tapasvinah, udarastho dvijān hanti svagarbho 'śvatarīm iva/ sa kadā cic cirāl loke āsasāda mahāmunim, agastyam tejasā yuktam bhaksyas tasya babhūva ha/ samutthāne ca tad rūpam kartukāmam samīksya tam, utsmayitvā tu bhagavān vātāpim idam abravīt/ tvayāviganya vātāpe paribhūtās ca tejasā, jīvaloke dvijasresthās tasmād asi jarām gatah/It is in this dandakaaranya, if you recall, there was a cruel Rakshasa named Vaataapi[Refer Stanza 11 above about Maharshi Agastya]He was in the habit of tapasvi mahatmas by killing them in Pitru shraddhas. Once Vaatapi approached Maharshi Agastya in shraaddha kaala. At the conclusion of the shraaddhha, Vataapi was in the habit of displaying his rakshasa swarupa and sought to call up his rakhasa associate Ilvala who knew the Mrita Sanjeevani Mantra; they would assume the forms of Brahmanas and seek the passers by to tempt them to a feast of goat-meat, and after consuming the meal ask Vatapi to come out and Vapati would come out piercing through the tummy of the stranger and the brothers would enjoy his meat. But

Agastya Muni was too clever to bless the good food saying 'Vatapi! Jeerno bhava' and Vatapi was fully digested even before Ilvala was able to recite the Mrita Sanjeevani Mantra! Thus Lakshmana! Just as Vataapi was misdirected by Maharshi and taught a gruesome lesson to Vataapi Rakshasa, I should myself run and chase the Maya Mriga and return, preferably by not killing it. You should safeguard the ashram and most importatly Devi Sita too. Happily, we are also under the over all purview of the ever vigilant Grudhra raja Jataayu to safeguard us too if any negative development is foreseen as a precaution. **Sarga Forty Four**

Shri Rama kills Mareecha, no doubt, but the latter shouts for help in Rama's tone causing gitters to Sita Devi

Tathā tu tam samādiśya bhrātaram raghunandanah, babandhāsim mahātejā jāmbūnadamayatsarum/ tatas triviņatam cāpam ādāyātmavibhūṣaṇam, ābadhya ca kalāpau dvau jagāmodagravikramah/ tam vañcayāno rājendram āpatantam nirīkṣya vai, babhūvāntarhitas trāsāt punaḥ samdarśane 'bhavat/ baddhāsir dhanur ādāya pradudrāva yato mṛgaḥ, tam sa paśyati rūpeṇa dyotamānam ivāgrataḥ/ avekşyāvekşya dhāvantam dhanuşpāṇir mahāvane, ativrttam işoḥ pātāl lobhayānam kadā cana/ śankitam tu samudbhrāntam utpatantam ivāmbare, daśyamānam adṛśyam ca navoddeśeṣu keṣu cit/ chinnābhrair iva samvītam sāradam candramandalam, muhūrtād eva dadrse muhur dūrāt prakāsate/ darsanādarsane naiva so 'pākarsata rāghavam, āsīt kruddhas tu kākutstho vivasas tena mohitah/ athāvatasthe susrāntas chāyām āśritya śādvale, mṛgaiḥ parivṛto vanyair adūrāt pratyadṛṣyata/ dṛṣṭvā rāmo mahātejās tam hantum kṛtaniścayaḥ, samdhāya sudṛḍhe cāpe vikṛṣya balavad balī/ tam eva mṛgam uddiśya jvalantam iva pannagam, mumoca jvalitam dīptam astrabrahmavinirmitam/ sa bhṛśam mṛgarūpasya vinirbhidya śarottamah, mārīcasyaiva hrdayam vibhedāśanisamnibhah/ tālamātram athotpatya nyapatat sa śarāturah, vyanadad bhairavam nādam dharanyām alpajīvitah, mriyamānas tu mārīco jahau tām kṛtrimām tanum/samprāptakālam ājñāya cakāra ca tatah svaram, sadṛśam rāghavasya/iva hā sīte laksmaneti ca/ tena marmani nirviddhah śarenānupamena hi, mrgarūpam tu tat tyaktvā rāksasam rūpam ātmanaḥ,chakre sa sumahākāyo mārīco jīvitam tyajan/ tato vicitrakeyūraḥ sarvābharaṇabhūṣitaḥ, hemamālī mahādamstro rāksaso 'bhūc charāhataḥ/ tam dṛṣṭvā patitam bhūmau rāksasam ghoradarśanam, jagāma manasā sītām laksmanasya vacah smaran/ hā sīte laksmanety evam ākruśya tu mahāsvaram, mamāra rākṣasaḥ so 'yam śrutvā sītā katham bhavet/ lakṣmaṇaś ca mahābāhuḥ kām avasthām gamisyati, iti samcintya dharmātmā rāmo hrstatanūruhal/tatra rāmam bhayam tīvram āviveśa visādajam, rāksasam mrgarūpam tam hatvā śrutvā ca tat svaram nihatya prsatam cānyam māmsam ādāya rāghavah, tvaramāno janasthānam sasārābhimukhas tadā/

Shri Rama then armed with his powerful dhanush and the arrows on hand moved swifly like of the speed of wind chasing the Golden Deer Maareecha. He located the Maya Mriga on the run, as the latter sought to hide himself but flashed up with a speedy run frequently looking behind to gauge mutual distance. The animal had the mysterious ability to jump, mislead, run fast, disappear and reappear while on the run. In its suicidal runs of hide and seek, the Rakshasa was running amok in frenzy and took Rama away quite a distance from the ashram into a crowd of fellow deer. The animal while noticing Rama's face frustrated and exasperated, Rama grew angry, pulled out an arrow which readily displayed the radiance of Surya and released a 'shatru samhaara baana', while drawing up the dhanush up and straight an released the intended target. Shareeram mriga rupaya vinirbhadya sharottamah, Mareechasyiva hridaam vibhedaashani sannibhah/ Maha tejasvi Rama then tore off Mareecha's huge body to pieces and his heart turned to pieces.

With that attack, rakshasa Maareecha's fell down and he made a reverberating sound of pain on the earth. *Mriyamaanastu Maareecho jahou taam kritrimaam tanum, smritvaa tad vachanam raksho dadadhyou kena tu Lakshmanam, iha prasthaapayet Sitaa taam shunye Ravano haret*/ As Maaricha was dying down, his artificial body of an attractive deer fell off and was reminded of Ravana's instruction tried to memorise so that Sita should ask Lakshmana to run from the ashram and Ravana could approach the

ashram. Then he prepared himself to imitate the tone of Shri Rama and shouted: $h\bar{a}$ sīte lakṣmaṇety evam ākruśya tu mahāsvaram, mamāra rākṣasaḥ so 'yam śrutvā sītā katham bhavet/ lakṣmaṇaś ca mahābāhuḥ kām avasthām gamiṣyati, iti samcintya dharmātmā rāmo hṛṣṭatanūruhaḥ/ Shri Rama was then worried as Maareecha shouted as 'haa Site, haa Lakshmana!'then how should Sita react and what should be the consequence on Lakshmana and his further reaction and action! Wondering like this, he sought to hurry back to his ashram.

Stanza Forty Five

As expected, Lakshmana was taken aback by Sita's insinuations against him who was pressurised to reach Shri Rama

Aartasvaram tu tam bhartur vijñāya sadṛśam vane, uvāca lakṣmaṇam sītā gaccha jānīhi rāghavam/ na hi me jīvitam sthāne hṛdayam vāvatiṣṭhate, krośataḥ paramārtasya śrutaḥ śabdo mayā bhṛśam/ ākranda mānam tu vane bhrātaram trātum arhasi, tam ksipram abhidhāva tvam bhrātaram śaranaisinam/ rakşasām vaśam āpannam simhānām iva govṛṣam, na jagāma tathoktas tu bhrātur ājñāya śāsanam/ tam uvāca tatas tatra kupitā janakātmajā, saumitre mitrarūpeņa bhrātus tvam asi śatruvat/ yas tvam asyām avasthāyām bhrātaram nābhipadyase, icchasi tvam vinasyantam rāmam laksmana matkṛte/ vyasanam te priyam manye sneho bhrātari nāsti te, tena tisthasi visrabdhas tam apasyan mahādyutim/ kim hi samśayam āpanne tasminn iha mayā bhavet, kartavyam iha tiṣṭhantyā yat pradhānas tvam āgatah/ iti bruvāṇam vaidehīm bāṣpaśokapariplutām, abravīl lakṣmaṇas trastām sītām mṛgavadhūm iva devi devamanuşyeşu gandharveşu patatrişu, rākşaseşu piśāceşu kimnareşu mṛgeşu ca/ dānaveşu ca ghoreşu na sa vidyeta śobhane, yo rāmam pratiyudhyeta samare vāsavopamam/ avadhyah samare rāmo naivam tvam vaktum arhasi, na tvām asmin vane hātum utsahe rāghavam vinā/ anivāryam balam tasya balair balayatām api, tribhir lokaih samudyuktaih seśvaraih sāmarair api/ hṛdayam nirvṛtam te 'stu samtāpas tyajyatām ayam, āgamisyati te bhartā śīghram hatvā mṛgottamam na sa tasya syaro vyaktam na kaś cid api daivataḥ, gandharvanagaraprakhyā māyā sā tasya rakṣasaḥ/ nyāsabhūtāsi vaidehi nyastā mayi mahātmanā, rāmena tvam varārohe na tvām tvaktum ihotsahe/ krtavairāś ca kalvāni vavam etair niśācaraih, kharasva nidhane devi janasthānavadham prati/ rāksasā vidhinā vāco visrjanti mahāvane, himsāvihārā vaidehi na cintayitum arhasi/lakṣmaṇenaivam uktā tu kruddhā samraktalocanā, abravīt parusam vākyam laksmanam satyavādinam/ anārya karunārambha nrsamsa kulapāmsana, aham tava priyam manye tenaitāni prabhāsase/ naitac citram sapatnesu pāpam laksmana yad bhayet, tvadvidhesu nrśamsesu nityam pracchannacārisu/ sudustas tvam vane rāmam ekam eko 'nugacchasi mama hetoh praticchannah prayukto bharatena vā/katham indīvaraśyāmam rāmam padmanibheksanam, upasamśritya bhartāram kāmayeyam pṛthag janam/ samakṣam tava saumitre prāṇāms tyakṣye na samśayah, rāmam vinā kṣaṇam api na hi jīvāmi bhūtale/ ity uktah paruṣam vākyam sītayā somaharşanam, abravīl lakşmanah sītām prāñjalir vijitendriyah/ uttaram notsahe vaktum daivatam bhayatī mama, vākyam apratirūpam tu na citram strīsu maithili/ syabhāyas ty esa nārīnām esu lokesu drśyate, vimuktadharmāś capalās tīkṣṇā bhedakarāḥ striyaḥ/ upaśṛṇvantu me sarve sākṣibhūtā vanecarāḥ, nyāyavādī yathā vākyam ukto 'haṁ paruṣaṁ tvayā/ dhik tvām adya praṇaśya tvaṁ yan mām evam viśankase,strītvād dustasvabhāvena guruvākye vyavasthitam/ gamisye yatra kākutsthah svasti te stu varānane, raksantu tvām viśālāksi samagrā vanadevatāh/ nimittāni hi ghorāni yāni prādurbhavanti' me, api tvām saha rāmena paśyeyam punar āgatah/ laksmanenaiyam uktā tu rudatī janakātmajā, pratyuvāca tato vākyam tīvram bāspapariplutā/ godāvarīm praveksyāmi vinā rāmena laksmaņa, ābandhişye 'thavā tyakşye vişame deham ātmanaḥ/ pibāmi vā vişam tīkṣṇam pravekṣyāmi hutāśanam, na tv aham rāghavād anyam padāpi purusam spṛśe/iti lakṣmanam ākruśya sītā duhkhasamanvitā, pāṇibhyām rudatī duḥkhād udaram prajaghāna ha/ tām ārtarūpām vimanā rudantīm; saumitrir ālokya viśālanetrām,aashvaasayām āsa na caiva bhartus; tam bhrātaram kim cid uvāca sītā/ tatas tu sītām abhivādya laksmanah; kṛtāñjalih kim cid abhipranamya, aveksamāno bahuśaś ca maithilīm; jagāma rāmasya samīpam ātmavān/

As the 'aarta naada' or the desperate shouts of Shri Rama got resonated across, Devi Sita was shocked and asked Lakshmana to hurry up for rescue and cried out that she was literally lifeless. 'Lakshmana!', she broke out, 'your brother is in desperation, and you ought to run for rescue. Lalshmana was not disturbed yet. She repeated again: Lakshmana! Your brother is in extreme anxiety and he must have been hurt badly; you seem to be callous and are behaving like an enemy but not a sincere brother; I guess that you wish to display your callousness and authority! Is this proper for you to keep unperturbed at this stage! You seem to wish for his downfall and your true form appears to be on open display! This must be the reason that you are standing still here with neither your help nor even a movement.' So saying sternly and agitated, Devi Sita got frantic and agitated. Then Lakshmana replied with coolness: Videha nandini: Do very kindly trust me with confidence that your glorious husband is most certainly invincible even by Nagas, Asuras, Gandharvas, Deva Danava Raakshasaas. Devi! There is none greater than Devatas, Human beings, Gandharvas, Pakshis, Rakshasaas, pischachas, Kinnaras, much less animals and ghora danavas and on any battle field, Rama is on par with Indra Deva; you should never say any word in surpassing Shri Rama. Moreover, I should never leave you alone. No king worth his name could even subdue Rama by his valour on battlke field in three lokas; please get never agitated and have confidence and trust on Rama. By now, Rama should be comfortably smashed the fake deer rakshasa by now anyway and return very soon; the wailing cries and reveberating sounds on the skies were most certainly the Rakshasa 'Gandharva Maaya' or of the illusory impact merely. nyāsabhūtāsi vaidehi nyastā mayi mahātmanā, rāmena tvam varārohe na tvām tyaktum ihotsahe/ Sundari, Videha nandini! Mahatma Shri Rama Chandra had given me the responsibility of guarding you in his absence and right now you are under my care and custody and I could never leave you alone. Do recall that at the time of Rama annihilating Khara Rakshasa along with Senapatis and fourteen thousand warriors being single handed, Rama entrusted the responsibilty to me. rāksasā vidhinā vāco visrjanti mahāvane, himsāvihārā vaidehi na cintayitum arhasi/ Videha nandini! Even as humans keep rejoycing by playful joviality and Rakshasaas are ever used to pranks even while dying for vicarious pleasure and therefore you ought not get taken away by such pranks!' As she heard Lakshmana's pacification, Sita got infuriated and shouted: anārya karunārambha nṛśamsa kulapāmsana, aham tava priyam manye tenaitāni prabhāṣase/ naitac citram sapatneṣu pāpam laksmana vad bhavet, tvadvidhesu nršamsesu nitvam pracchannacārisu/ sudustas tvam vane rāmam ekam eko 'nugacchasi mama hetoh praticchannah prayukto bharatena vā/ 'Anaarya, nirdayi, krura karmaa, kulaangaara! Oh wretched, flrivolous, merciless, cruel human! I have now recognised your real form. As Rama is in danger, you seem to be rejoicing and showing off your true colours. Lakshmana! A person of cruelty, and sinfullness is what you really have proved at this most critical crisis. You are villainous and are now scheming to suppress the secret feeling of winning me over some how being lonely, even pretentious under the garb of loyalty to Shri Rama; in fact, I suspect that even you were responsible to have despached Bharata on the pretension of loyaty! But, Sumitra Kumara! Your Bharata too would ever succeed on his scheme. How could I ever discard a blue lotus eyed Shyama Sundara Shri Rama in preference to a mean, wretched nobody and non descript being ever! samakṣam tava saumitre prāṇāms tyaksye na samśayah, rāmam vinā ksanam api na hi jīvāmi bhūtale/ Sumitra Kumara! Now, I would be ready to resort to 'praana thyaaga' as I could never be on earth without Rama even for a minute!' ity uktah paruşam vākyam sītayā somaharşaṇam, abravīl lakṣmaṇaḥ sītām prāñjalir vijitendriyah/ uttaram notsahe vaktum daivatam bhavatī mama, vākyam apratirūpam tu na citram strīsu maithili/As Devi Sita shouted harsh, unreasonable, suspicious and imbalanced of mind, the ever loyan Lakshmana had replied in humility: Devi! I feel constrained to dare reply to you as you are like my worshippable Goddess. Mithileshwari! This type of negative language as you have used is not worthy of listening to even stated by an ordinary woman, far less than an ideal Devi like you! svabhāvas tv eşa nārīṇām eşu lokeşu drśyate, vimuktadharmāś capalās tīkṣṇā bhedakarāḥ striyaḥ/ upaśrṇvantu me sarve sākṣibhūtā vanecarāḥ, nyāyavādī yathā vākyam ukto 'ham paruṣam tvayā/ By their very nature, womanhood in the Universe tends to take multi-colours and that is common knowledge. In general context, women are suspicious, fickleminded, hard and prone to ready to outbursts as bring in every house hold. The type of language and tone that you have used is hard to hear like loud metallic shrieks. What all I have described was sincere, decisive, and utterly truthful and well thought over. Surely your thinking pattern is unnatural

and blameworthy as of reflexes of your own aberrations seeking open expressions'. Having stated thus Lashmana then stated: gamiṣye yatra kākutsthaḥ svasti te 'stu varānane, rakṣantu tvām viśālākṣi samagrā vanadevatāḥ/ nimittāni hi ghorāṇi yāni prādurbhavanti me, api tvām saha rāmeṇa paśyeyam punar āgataḥ/ I am perforce leaving now Kalyani!May you be safe. May Vana Devatas safeguard, as right before me I seem to be visualising bad omens and hope I should be seeing you safe again along with Shri Rama!' As Lakshmana had bid farewell to Devi Sita, she had burst out saying that without Shri Rama she should jump in to the forceful flows of River Godavari or nip her throat with force or jump down from mountain tops or consume poison but never ever suffer 'para purusha sprarsha' or the mere touch of another male excepting Shri Rama and greeted Lakshmana, while Lakshmana too touched her feet as both had gazed at each other for some time and left for Rama.

Sarga Forty Six

Ravanaasura approaches Devi Sita under Sadhu's garb, familiarises and mesmerizes her

Tayā paruṣam uktas tu kupito rāghavānujah, sa vikānkṣan bhṛśam rāmam pratasthe nacirād iva/ tadāsādya daśagrīvaḥ kṣipram antaram āsthitaḥ, abhicakrāma vaidehīm parivrājakarūpadhṛk/ ślaksnakāsāyasamvītah śikhī chatrī upānahī, vāme cāmse 'vasajyātha śubhe vastikamandalū, parivrājakarūpena vaidehīm samupāgamat/ tām āsasādātibalo bhrātṛbhyām rahitām vane, rahitām sūryacandrābhyām samdhyām iva mahattamah/ tām apaśyat tato bālām rājaputrīm yaśasvinīm, rohiṇīm śaśinā hīnām grahavad bhṛśadāruṇah/ tam ugram pāpakarmāṇam janasthānaruhā drumāḥ, samīkṣya na prakampante na pravāti ca mārutah/ śīghrasrotāś ca tam dṛṣṭvā vīkṣantam raktalocanam, stimitam gantum ārebhe bhayād godāvarī nadī/ rāmasya tv antaram prepsur daśagrīvas tadantare, upatasthe ca vaidehīm bhiksurūpena rāvanah/ abhavyo bhavyarūpena bhartāram anuśocatīm, abhyavartata vaidehīm citrām iva śanaiścarah/ sa pāpo bhavyarūpena trnaih kūpa ivāvṛtah, atisthat preksya vaidehīm rāmapatnīm yaśasvinīm/ śubhām ruciradantausthīm pūrnacandranibhānanām, āsīnām parnaśālāyām bāṣpaśokābhipīḍitām/ sa tām padmapalāśākṣīm pītakauśeyavāsinīm, abhyagacchata vaidehīm duṣṭacetā niśācarah/ sa manmathaśarāvisto brahmaghosam udīrayan, abravīt praśritam vākyam rahite rāksasādhipah/ tām uttamām trilokānām padmahīnām iva śrivam, vibhrājamānām vapusā rāvanah praśaśamsa ha/kā tvam kāñcanavarṇābhe pītakauśeyavāsini, kamalānām śubhām mālām padminīva ca bibhratī/ hrīh śrīh kīrtih śubhā laksmīr apsarā vā śubhānane, bhūtir vā tvam varārohe ratir vā svairacārinī/ samāh śikharinah snigdhāh pāndurā daśanās tava, višāle vimale netre raktānte krsnatārake/ viśālam jaghanam pīnam ūrū karikaropamau, etāv upacitau vrttau sahitau sampragalbhitau/ pīnonnatamukhau kāntau snigdhatālaphalopamau, manipravekābharanau rucirau te payodharau/ cārusmite cārudati cārunetre vilāsini,mano harasi me rāme nadīkūlam ivāmbhasā/ karāntamitamadhyāsi sukeśī samhatastanī, naiva devī na gandharvī na yakṣī na ca kimnarī/ naivamrūpā mayā nārī dṛṣṭapūrvā mahītale, iha vāsaś ca kāntāre cittam unmāthayanti me/ sā pratikrāma bhadram te na tvam vastum ihārhasi, rāksasānām avam vāso ghorānām kāmarūpinām/ prāsādāgryāni ramyāni nagaropavanāni ca, sampannāni sugandhīni yuktāny ācaritum tyayā/ yaram mālyam yaram pānam yaram yastram ca śobhane, bhartāram ca varam manye tvadyuktam asitekṣaṇe/ kā tvam bhavasi rudrāṇām marutām vā śucismite, vasūnām vā varārohe devatā pratibhāsi me/ neha gacchantī gandharvā na devā na ca kimnarāh, rāksasānām ayam vāsah katham nu tvam ihāgatā/iha śākhāmrgāh simhā dvīpivyāghramrgās tathā, ṛksās taraksavah kaṅkāh katham tebhyo na bibhyase/ madānvitānām ghorānām kuñjarānām tarasvinām, katham ekā mahāranye na bibheşi vanānane/ kāsi kasya kutaś ca tvam kimnimittam ca dandakān, ekā carasi kalyāni ghorān rākṣasasevitān/ iti praśastā vaidehī rāvaṇena durātmanā, dvijātiveseņa hi tam drstvā rāvaņam āgatam, sarvair atithisatkāraiḥ pūjayām āsa maithilī/ upānīyāsanam pūrvam pādyenābhinimantrya ca, abravīt siddham ity eva tadā tam saumyadarsanam/dvijātivesena samīksya maithilī; tam āgatam pātrakusumbhadhārinam/ Aśakyam uddvestum upāyadarśanān; nyamantrayad brāhmanavad yathāgatam/ iyam brsī brāhmana kāmam āsyatām; idam ca pādyam pratigṛhyatām iti, idam ca siddham vanajātam uttamam; tvadartham avyagram ihopabhujyatām/nimantryamānah pratipūrnabhāsinīm; narendrapatnīm prasamīksya maithilīm,

prahasya tasyā haraṇe dhṛtaṁ manaḥ; samarpayām āsa vadhāya rāvaṇaḥ/ tataḥ suveṣaṁ mṛgayā gataṁ patiṁ; pratīkṣamāṇā sahalakṣmaṇaṁ tadā, nirīkṣamāṇā haritaṁ dadarśa tan; mahad vanaṁ naiva tu rāmalakṣmaṇau/

As Sita spoke to Lakshmana hurtingly and was forced to leave on hearing the false desperations imitating Rama, Ravanasura appeared on the garb of a Sanyasi with clean robes, and an umbrella in hands. Just as at dusk time when neither Surya nor Chandra were not prominent, Sita came out to respond the entry at the door of the ashram as Devi Rohini peeped out at the sight of Mangala or Shani planets when Chandra disappeared. As Sita came out, it looked that the movement of wind got stopped and she like the ever Godavari river got momentarily stilled and the gushing flow of waves was stilled for a while. rāmasya tv antaram prepsur daśagrīvas tadantare, upatasthe ca vaidehīm bhiksurūpena rāvanah/ abhavyo bhavyarūpena bhartāram anuśocatīm, abhyavartata vaidehīm citrām iva śanaiścarah/ Being saturated by vengencene against Rama, Dasamukha arrived at the door of Sita's door step just as Shanaischara saw Devi Chitra and was stitlled at Sita's visage. It was then Sita was terribly agitated at the welfare of Rama. Ravana continued to stare at Sita as though the sight Purnachandra in a state of shock. As though Ravana was pained is this heart by the arrows of Manmatha, he admired and felt that Sita was strikingly beautiful with perfect set of sparkling teeth and like a full moon facecut. Triloka sundari Sita was like a lotus seated Lakshmi Devi and Ravana could not resist but describe: Devi! who are you! Your face, eyes, hands, and feet are just like that of a lotus as a Padmini stree is sporting a floral garland. hrīh śrīh kīrtih śubhā lakṣmīr apsarā vā śubhānane, bhūtir vā tvam varārohe ratir vā svairacārinī/ Shubhaanane! Are you not Shri-hree-keerti-Shubha swarupa Lakshmi herself or Rati Devi the wife of Manmadha Deva himself enjoying a free stroll! Your teeth set is glittering, your eyes are glistening and transparent, your 'kati pradesha' is slim and 'jaghana' like the trunks of an elephant. Your breasts are solid, well formed, and round; you are wearing most precious ornaments. cārusmite cārudati cārunetre vilāsini,mano harasi me rāme nadīkūlam ivāmbhasā/ Your smile with the dazzling teeth and a pair of alluring eyes would steal away any onlooker's heart like the ever sliding banks of a river flows. Are you a devata, gandharva stree, or yaksha- kinnara female! naivamrūpā mayā nārī dṛṣṭapūrvā mahītale, iha vāsaś ca kāntāre cittam unmāthavanti me/ sā pratikrāma bhadram te na tvam vastum ihārhasi, rāksasānām avam vāso ghorānām kāmarūpinām/ On this entire earth, I never ever visioned a more charming woman like you and even in trilokas too you are a rarity; why indeed you are staying in the most detestable dandakaranya instead of freely moving about a flowery garden! This horrible place is where 'maayaavi rakshasaas' roam about freely as they please! Who are you indeed! You appear like a Rudrani, Marudvati, or Vasumati! Is this a place where Gandharva-Devata-Kinnaras move and roam about freely! This 'mahaaranya' is the thick forests where vaanara-simha-vyaghra-mrigas and owls-and vultures abound! kāsi kasya kutaś ca tvam kimnimittam ca dandakān, ekā carasi kalyāni ghorān rākṣasasevitān/Varaanane! In this frighteningly horrid 'dandakaranya', who are you, what for you are here lonely!' Then Devi Sita replied: Brahmanottama! I shall explain to you, but do please let me offer to you the normal duty by way of 'atithi satkaara' first with flowers and fruits and 'paadya paaneedyas' foremost.

Sarga Forty Seven

Devi Sita introduces herself as the daughter of King Janaka and the husband of the valiant Shri Rama and the cause of their arrival; Ravana proposes to Sita as a co-wife and the latter reacts haughtily

Rāvaņena tu vaidehī tadā pṛṣṭā jihīrṣuṇā, parivrājakarūpeṇa śaśamsātmānam ātmanā/ brāhmaṇaś cātithiś caiṣa anukto hi śapeta mām, iti dhyātvā muhūrtam tu sītā vacanam abravīt/ duhitā janakasyāham maithilasya mahātmanaḥ, sītā nāmnāsmi bhadram te rāmabhāryā dvijottama/ samvatsaram cādhyuṣitā rāghavasya niveśane, bhuñjānā mānuṣān bhogān sarvakāmasamṛddhinī/ tataḥ samvatsarād ūrdhvam samamanyata me patim, abhiṣecayitum rāmam sameto rājamantribhiḥ/ tasmin sambhriyamāṇe tu rāghavasyābhiṣecane, kaikeyī nāma bhartāram mamāryā yācate varam/ pratigṛhya tu kaikeyī śvaśuram sukṛtena me, mama pravrājanam bhartur bharatasyābhiṣecanam, dvāv

ayācata bhartāram satyasamdham nrpottamam/ nādya bhoksye na ca svapsye na pāsye 'ham kadā cana, esa me jīvitasyānto rāmo yady abhisicyate/ iti bruvānām kaikeyīm śvaśuro me sa mānadah, ayācatārthair anvarthair na ca yācñām cakāra sā/ mama bhartā mahātejā vayasā pañcavimśakah, rāmeti prathito loke guṇavān satyavāk śuciḥ, viśālākṣo mahābāhuḥ sarvabhūtahite rataḥ/ abhiṣekāya tu pituḥ samīpam rāmam āgatam, kaikeyī mama bhartāram ity uvāca drutam vacah/ tava pitrā samājñaptam mamedam śṛṇu rāghava, bharatāya pradātavyam idam rājyam akaṇṭakam/ tvayā tu khalu vastavyam nava varṣāṇi pañca ca, vane pravraja kākutstha pitaram mocayānṛtāt/tathety uvāca tām rāmaḥ kaikeyīm akutobhayaḥ, cakāra tadvacas tasyā mama bhartā dṛḍhavrataḥ/ dadyān na pratigṛhṇīyāt satyabrūyān na cānṛtam, etad brāhmana rāmasya vratam dhruvam anuttamam/ tasya bhrātā tu vaimātro laksmano nāma vīryavān, rāmasya purusavyāghrah sahāyah samare 'rihā/ sa bhrātā laksmano nāma dharmacārī dṛdhavratah, anvagacchad dhanuspānih pravrajantam mayā saha/ te vayam pracyutā rājyāt kaileyyās tu kṛte trayah, vicarāma dvijaśrestha vanam gambhīram ojasā/ samāśvasa muhūrtam tu śakyam vastum iha tvayā, āgamişyati me bhartā vanyam ādāya puşkalam/ sa tvam nāma ca gotram ca kulam ācakṣva tattvatah, ekaś ca dandakāranye kimartham carasi dvija/ evam bruvatyām sītāyām rāmapatnyām mahābalah, pratyuvācottaram tīvram rāvano rāksasādhipah/ vena vitrāsitā lokāh sadevāsurapannagāh, aham sa rāvaņo nāma sīte raksogaņesvaraļ/ tvām tu kāñcanavarņābhām drstvā kauseyavāsinīm, ratim svakesu dāreşu nādhigacchāmy anindite/ bahvīnām uttamastrīņām āhrtānām itas tatah, sarvāsām eva bhadram te mamāgramahisī bhava/ laṅkā nāma samudrasya madhye mama mahāpurī, sāgarena pariksiptā nivistā girimūrdhani/ tatra sīte mayā sārdham vanesu vicarisyasi, na cāsyāranyavāsasya spṛhayisyasi bhāmini/ pañcadāsyah sahasrāni sarvābharaṇabhūṣitāḥ, sīte paricariṣyanti bhāryā bhavasi me yadi/ rāvaņenaivam uktā tu kupitā janakātmajā, pratyuvācānavadyāngī tam anādrtya rākṣasam/ mahāgirim ivākampyam mahendrasadṛśam patim, mahodadhim ivākṣobhyam aham rāmam anuvratā/ mahābāhum mahoraskam simhavikrāntagāminam, nrsimham simhasamkāśam aham rāmam anuvratā/ pūrnacandrānanam vīram rājavatsam jitendriyam, pṛthukīrtim mahābāhum aham rāmam anuvratā/ tvam punar jambukah simhīm mām ihecchasi durlabhām, nāham śakyā tvayā sprastum ādityasya prabhā vathā/ pādapān kāñcanān nūnam bahūn paśyasi mandabhāk, rāghavasya priyām bhāryām vas tvam icchasi rāvaņa/ kṣudhitasya ca simhasya mṛgaśatros tarasvinaḥ, āśīviṣasya vadanād damṣṭrām ādātum icchasi/ mandaram parvataśrestham pāninā hartum icchasi, kālakūtam visam pītvā svastimān gantum icchasi/ akṣisūcyā pramṛjasi jihvayā leḍhi ca kṣuram, rāghavasya priyām bhāryām adhigantum tvam icchasi/ avasajya śilām kanthe samudram tartum icchasi, sūryā candramasau cobhau prānibhyām hartum icchasi, yo rāmasya priyām bhāryām pradharsayitum icchasi/ agnim prajvalitam drstvā vastreṇāhartum icchasi, kalyāṇa vṛttām rāmasya yo bhāryām hartum icchasi/ ayomukhānām śūlānām agre caritum icchasi, d antaram simhaśrgālayor vane; yad antaram syandanikāsamudrayoḥ, surāgryasauvīrakayor yad antaram; tad antaram dāśarathes tavaiva ca/yad antaram kāñcanasīsalohayor; yad antaram candanavāripankayoh, yad antaram hastibidālayor vane; tad antaram daśarathes tavaiva ca/ yad antaram vāyasavainateyayor; yad antaram madgumayūrayor api, yad antaram sārasagṛdhrayor vane; tad antaram dāśarathes tavaiva ca/ tasmin sahasrākṣasamaprabhāve; rāme sthite kārmukabāṇapāṇau, hrtāpi te 'ham na jarām gamiṣye; vajram yathā makṣikayāvagīrnam/ itīva tad vākyam adustabhāvā; sudrstam uktvā rajanīcaram tam, gātraprakampād vyathitā babhūva; vātoddhatā sā kadalīva tanvī/ tām vepamānām upalaksya sītām; sa rāvaņo mṛtyusamaprabhāvaḥ, kulam balam nāma ca karma cātmanah; samācacakse bhayakāranārtham/

With the single evil motive of forcibly taking away Devi Sita, Ravanasura on the guise of a Sanyasi asked about her antecedents and giving due consideration to a sanyasi, Sita having initially hesitated initially with an apprehension of being cursed with a 'shaapa' replied that her name was Sita, her father was King Janaka, and the dear wife of Shri Rama the valiant. After twelve years of lovable and conjugal life in King Dashratha's house, she lived happily and by the thirteenth year there was a proposal to make Rama the Yuvaraja and initiate celebrations, but there was a twist of destiny and the youngest beloved wife of the King named Devi Kaikeyi influenced and pressurised the King and demanded that my husband Rama should leave for vana vasa for fourteen years and Rama's younger brother Bhatata be made the Yuvaraja; Kaikeyi threatened to kill herself otherwise and therefore the father in law had to yield, especially since in

the past at the time of Deva Danava battle the King was accompanied by Kaikeyi saved the father in law's life and was bestowed two boons; these were availed of by Kaikeyi on the eve of the Rama's coronation joys of the public! As a gesture of Pitru vaakya paripaanana, Shri Rama had atonce agreed to move to forest with valkala vastra dharana as the dress code. dadyān na pratigrhnīyāt satyabrūyān na cānrtam, etad brāhmaṇa rāmasya vratam dhruvam anuttamam/ tasya bhrātā tu vaimātro lakṣmaṇo nāma vīryavān, rāmasya puruṣavyāghraḥ sahāyaḥ samare 'rihā/ sa bhrātā lakṣmaṇo nāma dharmacārī dṛḍhavrataḥ, anvagacchad dhanuspānih pravrajantam mayā saha/Shri Rama is always in the habit of giving away but never recieves; his is satya vaadi ever speaks the truth and undeterred by the principles of truthfulness always. Along with him is accompanied by his own brother Lakshmana and both the brothers are truthful and valiant too. I am too accompanying them. You may rest for a while and they ought be be returning soon as they have gone to collect fruits and roots and as such you may like to rest for a while. Brahmanottama! Then the Maayavi Ravana in the form of Brahmanottama asserted in very pungent tone suddenly: Sitey! I am that Rakshasa Raja Ravanasura who is dreaded by Devas - Asuras- and of course human beings as well. Ananya Sundari! I am totally impressed by your outstanding beauty and physical grace draped in an alluring dress and I should never ever would approach another female excepting you and you alone. I have had collected in my haraem numberless females from everywhere but you are par excellence! You should now me my Prime Queen of my celebrity and rejoice the sweet fruits and juices of life. I shall provide you joy rides in glorius gardens of the universe and by your slave! Devi Sita raised her voice and talked harsh as never before: mahāgirim ivākampyam mahendrasadrśam patim, mahodadhim ivākşobhyam aham rāmam anuvratā/ mahābāhum mahoraskam simhavikrāntagāminam, nrsimham simhasamkāśam aham rāmam anuvratā/Ravana! You are never heard before the mountain like and never shaken personality of Shri Rama with Devedra like courage and bravery yet deep and ever restrained Great Oceans and I am the ever following Pativrata by body-mind and Soul. Rama's younger brother is an able supporter of Rama in intrepidity and dauntlessness. I am under the safe care and shade of the huge banyan trees and how stupid of you to ever imagine of an arrogant, shameless and worthless creature like you! mahābāhum mahoraskam simhavikrāntagāminam, nṛsimham simha -samkāśam aham rāmam anuvratā/Shri Rama's shoulders are broad and strong, his chest is wide and firm; he moves about like a lion with pride and is of uaparalleled courage and confidence. I am his unqualified devotee like nobody else. His visage is like a readily arresting full moon; he is a 'jitendriya' with body and mind and my confidence in him is none else on the face of earth than that of mine. Sinful nishachara! If you consider your self as a Lion, be it well digested that I am a lioness too and you are by all means of threats and manipulations, you could never achieve me or my physique, far less my thoughts or mind. You better be aware that you could hold never touch even a fringe of me as the globe of Surya as that would burn and become suicidal for you. Misfortunate Rakshasa! How dare you to attempt and abduct me and tempt me as you are certainly inviting death with mercilessness! You wish to dare and touch me then a running 'mriga' gets tempted seeing a bright golden tree, would dash right in to the mouth of a hungry lion! You would like to pull out the teeth of a huge serpent, or uproot and lift up Mandara mountain or firm up a boulder around your neck and swim and cross the maha samudra!You seek to take Surva and Chandra into your hands! Yo Raamasya priyaam bhaaryaam pradharsayitum icchasi/ He how ever wish to do 'balaatkara' to Shri Rama's darling wife could ever be born on the face of the earth! If ever you try to do so out of ego, then I should look at flames and jump with clothes tied up thereinto! Are you not aware of a domesticated and a wild, ferocious deep forest lion which is the wide gap of you and Dasharathanandana Shri Rama! The comparison is obvious between molten gold and brass, water saturated in chandana and earthen mud and Shri Rama and the perilous yourself! There is an obvious difference between Garuda Deva and a low flying kite!' So asserting the enraged Sita with a body quiver, shouted at Ravanasura.

Sarga Forty Eighty

Ravanasura explains his own background and valor and Devi Sita ignores and discounts

Evam bruvatyām sītāyām samrabdhah parusāksaram, lalāte bhrukutīm krtvā rāvanah pratyuvāca ha/ bhrātā vaiśravanasyāham sāpatnyo varavarnini, rāvano nāma bhadram te daśagrīvah pratāpavān/ yasya devāḥ sagandharvāḥ piśācapatagoragāḥ, vidravanti bhayād bhītā mṛtyor iva sadā prajāḥ/ yena vaiśravano bhrātā vaimātraḥ kāraṇāntare, dvandvam āsāditaḥ krodhād raṇe vikramya nirjitaḥ/ madbhayārtah parityajya syam adhisthānam rddhimat, kailāsam paryataśrestham adhyāste narayāhanah/ yasya tat puspakam nāma vimānam kāmagam subham, vīryād āvarjitam bhadre yena yāmi vihāyasam/ mama samjātaroşasya mukham drstvaiva maithili, vidravanti paritrastāh surāh śakrapurogamāh/ yatra tisthāmy aham tatra māruto vāti śankitah, tīvrāmśuh śiśirāmśuś ca bhayāt sampadyate ravih/ niskampapatrās taravo nadvaś ca stimitodakāh, bhavanti yatra yatrāham tisthāmi ca carāmi ca/ mama pāre samudrasya lankā nāma purī śubhā, sampūrnā rāksasair ghorair yathendrasyāmarāvatī/ prākārena pariksiptā pāndurena virājitā, hemakaksyā purī ramyā vaidūryamaya toranā/ hastyaśvarathasambhādhā tūryanādavināditā, sarvakāmaphalair vṛksaih samkulodyānaśobhitā/ tatra tvam vasatī sīte rājaputri mayā saha, na sramişyasi nārīṇām mānuṣīṇām manasvini/ bhuñjānā mānuṣān bhogān divyāms ca varavarnini, na smarişyasi rāmasya mānuşasya gatāyuşah/ sthāpayitvā priyam putram rājñā daśarathena vah, mandavīrvah suto įvesthas tatah prasthāpito vanam/ tena kim bhrastarājvena rāmena gatacetasā, karişyasi viśālākṣi tāpasena tapasvinā/ sarvarākṣasabhartāraṁ kāmāt svayam ihāgatam, na manmathaśarāviṣṭam pratyākhyātum tvam arhasi/ pratyākhyāya hi mām bhīru paritāpam gamiṣyasi, caranenābhihatyeva purūravasam urvaśī/evam uktā tu vaidehī kruddhā samraktalocanā, abravīt parusam vākyam rahite rāksasādhipam/katham vaiśravanam devam sarvabhūtanamaskṛtam, bhrātaram vyapadiśya tvam aśubham kartum icchasi/ avaśyam vinaśisyanti sarve rāvana rākṣasāḥ, yeṣām tvam karkaśo rājā durbuddhir ajitendrivah/ apahrtva śacīm bhāryām śakvam indrasya jīvitum, na tu rāmasya bhāryām mām apanīyāsti jīvitam, jīvec ciram vajradharasya hastāc; chacīm pradhṛṣyāpratirūparūpām, na mādršīm rāksasadharsayitvā; pītāmrtasyāpi tavāsti moksah/

As Devi Sita shouted on Ravanaasura as described, Ravana was provoked to the core and screemed in response! 'Sundari! I am the first cousin of Kubera, the ten headed Ravana. All the Beings in creation are dreaded by me with trembling shudder including Devata, Gandharva, Pishacha, Pakshi, and Nagas and that was how challenged Kubera too and defeated him on a one-to-one battle and thus he ran away under the refuge of Kailaasa mountain. Kubera was flying by the air borne vimana but now it is my possession now and use it freely and take to bhu-bhramana for fun as a pastime! Mithileshwari! Whenever I am incensed with anger, Indra and the follower Devatas seek to hide themselves with my shivering face. As and when I take to 'bhu bhramana', even the tree leaves stop their movement, let alone the trees and plants and the waves of rivers get stilled with my fear too! On the other side of the ocean here, is Lanka which is comparable with Amaravati the capital of Devatas. Lankapuri the magnificent capital city has four popular 'dwaaraas' and is a planned and constructed city Ravana Sena. Its halls are gigantic and the doors and windows are made of vaidurya manis. The well planned streets of Lankapuri are flooded with elephants, camels, horses, and chariots, while the populace is ever bristing with activities, sky raised noises and earthly sounds of musical instruments of ever fine music. The halls of Lankapuri are well planned and executed to perfection with public amenities, tatra tvam vasatī sīte rājaputri mavā saha, na sramişyasi nārīṇām mānuṣīṇām manasvini/ bhuñjānā mānuṣān bhogān divyāms ca varavarṇini, na smarisyasi rāmasya mānusasya gatāyusah/Rajakumari Sitey, If only you live with me floating in luxuries, then in no time you should forget Rama the mere human being whose life span is closing up soon any way! King Dasharatha the clever manipulator had placed his second son Bharata on the throne and sent away the eldest son Rama to the forest like, and the non existent, dim-witted, thick headed Rama is practising tapasya under the spell of 'Pitru vaakya paripaanana'! Devi! I am the King of Rakshasaas and as ravished by your beauty and grace, have arrived volantarily at your door step; protect me from the flowery arrows of Manmadha; and do please come into my embrace at once.' That was how, Ravanaasura begged of Devi Sita as the latter shouted in red anger as follows: 'Arre Ravana! Bhagavan Kubera is worthy of veneration even by Devas, let alone the human beings. You name him and shamelessly call him as his brother and resort to downright detestable and heinous activities! Ravana! It is most certain that a characterless, selfish, cruel, and wicked Rakashasa King like you is ripe for a disaster in the very near

future. In the annals of history, it might have been possible that Indra kidnapped Shachi Devi and wedded but a Ravana could never happen in the reverse again as Ravana is drawing his doom in a matter of weeks and days!'

[Vishleshana on Shachi Devi and Indra:

Shachi Devi was the daughter of the Asura King Pouloma who was no doubt religious but of negative abhichara mantras under the tutelage of Shukraacharya. Prajapati Visvakarma, the famed Architect of Devas, had a son named Trisira or the three headed Brahmana boy who used to practise ascetism with one head, drink wine with another and look around in all directions with the third. Being an ardent student of Vedas, he was always engaged in severe Tapasya, especially 'Panchagni Sadhana' hanging upside down a tree branch exposed to Summer Sun, winter cold and heavy rainy season without food conquering worldly desires. Being highly suspicious of the intentions of Trisira who might pose problem his own throne, Indra despatched Apsarasas to disturb Trisira's rigorous meditation but to no avail. Indra thus killed him even when he was in meditation, even as he knew that killing a pious Brahmana in meditation was the highest possible sin. Furious with Indra's dreadful deed, Visvakarma performed an inexorable Sacrifice by 'Abhichara' process (taking revenge) reciting Atharva Veda Mantras, created a mountain like and ferocious boy with the sole objective of killing Indra. The huge boy was named Vritra or who could save his father as Vrinjina. Visvakarma equipped him with all kinds of war tactics and divine armoury including a swift and sturdy Chariot, a 'Sudarshan' like Disc, and a 'Trisula' like spear. As Vritra grew, Indra was getting nervous and approached Deva Guru to prevent any risk from the Demon. Brihaspati warned Indra that he should better be prepared for a Big Battle as the forebodings were not conducive, as after all Indra had committed a heinous crime of killing a Brahmana out of pride and fear. Vritrasura was the abled commander in chief and desired to marry Shachi Devi, but Shachi did not rfeciprocate as she felt that he was a servant of her father. As insulted Vritraasura decided to take revenge by marrying her. Meanwhile Indra begged of Maha Muni Dadheechi to spare his backbone and with the skills of Vishvakarma made Vajrayudha the thunderbolt with which Vritrasura was killed and as an act of vengence married Shachi Devi whom Vritraasura was madly in love with. Under such circumstances, Shachi Devi readily consented to marry as Indra's 'Patta Mahishi' or the Prime Queen . But smitten by the sin of 'brahmana hatya', Indra hid himself in a lotus stem in a pond at Manasasarovara and the title of Indratva was rewarded by King Nahusha. Nahusha claimed Shachi Devi too. Assited by Vishvakarma as prompted by Devi Bhagavati, Shachi Devi helped recover Indra from the lotus stem and Indra got reappointed by Brahma Deva since the brahma hatya dosha was negatived due to long penance in the lotus stem. Nahusha got punished due to his audacity of claiming Shachi Devi and became a brahma rakshasa till the times of Maha Bharata in dwapara yuga.]

Sarga Forty Nine

Ravanasura forcibly abducts Devi Sita who cries away helplessly but Maha Grudhra Jataayu seeks to help

Sītāyā vacanam śrutvā daśagrīvaḥ pratāpavān, haste hastam samāhatya cakāra sumahad vapuḥ/ sa maithilīm punar vākyam babhāṣe ca tato bhṛśam,nonmattayā śrutau manye mamavīryaparākramau/Udvaheyam bhujābhyām tu medinīm ambare sthitaḥ, āpibeyam samudram ca mṛtyum hanyām raṇe sthitaḥ/ arkam rundhyām śarais tīkṣṇair vibhindyām hi mahītalam, kāmarūpiṇam unmatte paśya mām kāmadam patim/ evam uktavatas tasya rāvaṇasya śikhiprabhe, kruddhasya hariparyante rakte netre babhūvatuḥ/ sadyaḥ saumyam parityajya bhikṣurūpam sa rāvaṇaḥ, svam rūpam kālarūpābham bheje vaiśravaṇānujaḥ/ samraktanayanaḥ śrīmāms taptakāñcanakuṇḍalaḥ, daśāsyaḥ kārmukī bāṇī babhūva kṣaṇadācaraḥ/ sa parivrājakacchadma mahākāyo vihāya tat, pratipede svakam rūpam rāvaṇo rākṣasādhipaḥ/ samraktanayanaḥ krodhāj jīmūtanicayaprabhaḥ, raktāmbaradharas tasthau strīratnam preksva maithilīm/ sa tām asitakeśāntām bhāskarasya prabhām iva, vasanābhara -

nopetām maithilīm rāvano 'bravīt/ trisu lokesu vikhyātam yadi bhartāram icchasi, mām āśraya varārohe tavāham sadršah patih/ mām bhajasva cirāya tvam aham ślāghyas tava priyah, naiva cāham kva cid bhadre karişye tava vipriyam, tyajyatām mānuşo bhāvo mayi bhāvah pranīyatām/ rājyāc cyutam asiddhārtham rāmam parimitāyuṣam, kair guṇair anuraktāsi mūḍhe paṇḍitamānini/ yaḥ striyā vacanād rājyam vihāva sasuhrijanam, asmin vvālānucarite vane vasati durmatih/ ity uktvā maithilīm vākvam priyārhām priyavādinīm, jagrāha rāvanah sītām budhah khe rohinīm iva/vāmena sītām padmāksīm mūrdhajesu karena saḥ, ūrvos tu dakṣiṇenaiva parijagrāha pāṇinā/ taṁ dṛṣṭvā giriśṛṅgābhaṁ tīksnadamstram mahābhujam, prādravan mrtyusamkāśam bhavārtā vanadevatāh/ sa ca māvāmavo divyah kharayuktah kharasvanah, pratyadrsyata hemāngo rāvanasya mahārathah/ tatas tām parusair vākyair abhitarjya mahāsvanah, ankenādāya vaidehīm ratham āropayat tadā/ sā grhītāticukrośa rāvanena yaśasvinī, rāmeti sītā duhkhārtā rāmam dūragatam vane/ tām akāmām sa kāmārtah pannagendravadhūm iva, vivestamānām ādāya utpapāthātha rāvanah, tatah sā rāksasendrena hriyamānā vihāyasā, bhṛśam cukrośa matteva bhrāntacittā yathāturā/ hā lakṣmaṇa mahābāho gurucittaprasādaka, hriyamānām na jānīse raksasā kāmarūpinā/ jīvitam sukham arthām's ca dharmahetoh parityajan, hriyamānām adharmena mām rāghava na paśvasi/ nanu nāmāvinītānām vinetāsi paramtapa, katham evamvidham pāpam na tvam śādhi hi rāvaṇam/ nanu sadyo 'vinītasya dṛśyate karmaṇaḥ phalam, kālo 'py angī bhavaty atra sasyānām iva paktaye/ sa karma kṛtavān etat kālopahatacetanaḥ, jīvitāntakaram ghoram rāmād vyasanam āpnuhi/ hantedānīm sakāmā tu kaikeyī bāndhavaih saha, hriyeyam dharmakāmasya dharmapatnī yaśasvinah/āmantraye janasthānam karnikārām's ca puspitān, ksipram rāmāya śamsadhvam sītām harati rāvaṇaḥ/ mālyavantam śikhariṇam vande prasravaṇam girim, kṣipram rāmāya śamsadhvam sītām harati rāvaṇaḥ/ hamsasārasasamghustām vande godāvarīm nadīm, kṣipram rāmāya śamsadhvam sītām harati rāvaṇaḥ/ daivatāni ca yānty asmin vane vividhapādape, namaskaromy aham tebhyo bhartuh samsata mām hṛtām, yāni kāni cid apy atra sattvāni nivasanty uta, sarvāṇi śaranam yāmi mṛgapaksiganān api/ hriyamānām priyām bhartuh prānebhyo 'pi garīyasīm, vivaśāpahṛtā sītā rāvaneneti śamsata/ viditvā mām mahābāhur amutrāpi mahābalah, ānesyati parākramya vaivasvatahrtām api/rāmāya tu yathātattvam jatāyo haranam mama, laksmanāya ca tat sarvam ākhyātavyam aśesatah/

As Devi Sita screamed in high pitch, Ravanasura expanded his original form and shouted: 'You have now become mad and that is why you are not realising my gallantry and guts. If I expand my physique and stand up sky high, my powerful arms could lift up the earth, drink up the waters of oceans, and in a duel could destroy mrityu too! You mad woman! I could hurt and pierce through the globe of Surya with my arrows and bring it down to earth. You foolish and crazy woman! Look at me and my burning looks with fury and fire as the universal belief is that the seething anger of Ravana is beyond comprehension.' Having shouted likewise, Ravana assumed the form of his natural swarupa like Kaala Deva as his eyes were fuming with ten heads and as many fiery eyes and with twenty hands and gripped palms raised high and threatening Sita! He screamed at her: trişu lokeşu vikhyātam yadi bhartāram icchasi, mām āśraya varārohe tavāham sadršah patih/ mām bhajasva cirāva tvam aham ślāghvas tava privah, naiva cāham kva cid bhadre karişye tava vipriyam, tyajyatām mānuso bhāvo mayi bhāvah pranīyatām/ Even if you explore and search trilokas, you would not find a more deserving husband than me; do believe me that I should keep you on a high pedestal and never hurt you with affectionate obedience. I am aware that among human beings, your passion for Rama is extraordinary but now that you have encounterd me, you might as well forget and ignore him and his flimsy memories! Stupid and dim witted woman! Rama was thrown out of a throne, and his aspirations to become a king were dashed down; his life span as a human being is limited and precarious; how foolish are you not to discount these facts of existence. Do point out one single reason to keep faith in him as he is in the clutch of a woman who tossed him to a frightful dandakaranya infested with cruelty and mercilessness! Wake up even now as better late than never! ity uktvā maithilīm vākyam priyārhām priyavādinīm, jagrāha rāvanah sītām budhah khe rohinīm iva/ vāmena sītām padmāksīm mūrdhajesu karena sah, ūrvos tu daksinenaiva parijagrāha pāninā/So uttering the shameless words out of passion held Devi Sita the mother figure's right hand like Budha had performed the act of inexcusable indiscretion of holding his most respectable worthy of his own mother

Devi Rohini. As this scene was witnessed, the 'vana devatas' got jolted and dispersed with fright. Then Ravana commanded the golden chariot of donkeys, even while shouting at Devi Sita and kept her slim body on his strong laps and speeded away on the sky. As this rapid occurrence happened in split minutes, Devi Sita raised the top of her voice and screemed 'hey Rama'. She made desperate efforts to loosen the grip of Ravana's powerful arms like a 'naagini' to slither but to vain. hā laksmana mahābāho gurucittaprasādaka, hriyamāṇām na jānīṣe rakṣasā kāmarūpiṇā/ jīvitam sukham arthām's ca dharmahetoh parityajan, hriyamāṇām adharmeṇa mām rāghava na paśyasi/She kept on shouting: ' haa maha bahu Lakshmana! You do always keep attentive to the screams of desperation but now this rakshasa Ravana is taking me away by coercion and cruelty. Ha Raghu nandana! You always stand for dharma and have discarded the love for life, physical pleasures, and the magnificence of kingship. But this rakshasa Ravana is abducting me by force and you are not able to see this inhuman brutality! Aryaputra! You always keep punishing those who slip up dharma, but why are you not doing so to this treacherous and terrifying Ravana!' Then Devi Sita yelled at Ravana: 'your head is reeling around 'mrityu' as your descretion is lost totally and your sinfulness is climatic. You ought to soon visualize the cruel chains of death by the grace of Rama. hantedānīm sakāmā tu kaikevī bāndhavaih saha, hrivevam dharmakāmasva dharmapatnī yaśasvinaḥ/Hai! It is this time that Kaikeyi and her deceiptful advisors (like Manthara) have suceeded their crafty plan to torture me as Rama's dharmapatni since I am right now kept under hopeless duress! Now at this critical moment, I have only to pray the trees and bushes, the birds, and forest animals, the swans and cranes to convey that this heartless Ravana is coercing me a helpless female of innocence and purity. Mother Godavari! My desperate submissions to you to kindly convey to Shri Rama the 'atyaachaara' by this villionous and most sinful Ravanaasura! Saa tadaakarunaa vaacho vilapanti suduhkhitaa, vanaspati gatam gruddhram dadarshayitalochanaa/ Jataayo pashya maamaarya hviyamaanaamanaathavat, anena raakshasendrenaakarunam paapa karmamaa/ Then Devi Sita having stated with desperation was able to spot Grudhra Raja Jatavu seated on the branch of a huge tree and shouted with her maximam screaming for help as follows: Arya Jataayo! Look at this 'atyaachaara' as the wickedmost Rayanaasura is dragging me by force. Kindly inform Rama Lakshmanas to note this tragedy!

[Ref Sarga Fourteen above detailing Jatayu]

Sarga Fifty

<u>Jataayu warns Ravanasura to withdraw from the evil act of 'Sitaapaharana' and otherwise be ready for encounter</u>

Tam śabdam avasuptasya jaṭāyur atha śuśruve,niraikṣad rāvaṇam kṣipram vaidehīm ca dadarśa saḥ/ tatah parvatakūtābhas tīkṣṇatuṇḍaḥ khagottamah, vanaspatigatah śrīmān vyājahāra śubhām giram/ daśagrīvasthito dharme purāņe satyasamśrayah, jaṭāyur nāma nāmnāham grdhrarājo mahābalah rājā sarvasya lokasya mahendrayarunopamah, lokānām ca hite yukto rāmo daśarathātmajah/tasyaisā lokanāthasya dharmapatnī vaśasvinī, sītā nāma varārohā vām tvam hartum ihecchasi/katham rājā sthito dharme paradārān parāmṛśet, rakṣaṇīyā viśeṣeṇa rājadārā mahābalaḥ,nivartaya matim nīcām paradārābhimarśanam/ na tat samācared dhīro yat paro 'sya vigarhayet, yathātmanas tathānyesām dārā raksyā vimarśanāt/ artham vā yadi vā kāmam śistāh śāstresv anāgatam, vyavasyanty anu rājānam dharmam paurastyanandana/ rājā dharmaś ca kāmaś ca dravyānām cottamo nidhih, dharmah śubham vā pāpam vā rājamūlam pravartate/ pāpasvabhāvas capalah katham tvam rakṣasām vara, aisvaryam abhisamprāpto vimānam iva duṣkṛtī/ kāmasvabhāvo yo yasya na sa śakyaḥ pramārjitum, na hi duṣṭātmanām ārya mā vasaty ālaye ciram/ viṣaye vā pure vā te yadā rāmo mahābalaḥ, nāparādhyati dharmātmā katham tasyāparādhyasi/ yadi śūrpaṇakhāhetor janasthānagataḥ kharaḥ, ativṛtto hataḥ pūrvam rāmenāklistakarmanā/atra brūhi yathāsatyam ko rāmasya vyatikramah, yasya tvam lokanāthasya hṛtvā bhāryām gamisyasi/ ksipram visrja vaidehīm mā tvā ghorena caksusā, dahed dahana bhūtena vṛtram indrāśanir yathā/sarpam āśīviṣam baddhvā vastrānte nāvabudhyase, grīvāyām pratimuktam ca kālapāśam na paśvasi/sa bhārah saumva bhartavvo vo naram nāvasādavet, tad annam upabhoktavvam

jīryate yad anāmayam/ yat krtvā na bhaved dharmo na kīrtir na yaśo bhuvi, śarīrasya bhavet khedaḥ kas tat karma samācaret/ ṣaṣṭivarṣasahasrāṇi mama jātasya rāvaṇa, pitrpaitāmaham rājyam yathāvad anutiṣṭhataḥ/ vrddho 'ham tvam yuvā dhanvī sarathaḥ kavacī śarī, tathāpy ādāya vaidehīm kuśalī na gamiṣyasi/ na śaktas tvam balād dhartum vaidehīm mama paśyataḥ, hetubhir nyāyasamyuktair dhruvām vedaśrutīm iva/ yudhyasva yadi śūro 'si muhūrtam tiṣṭha rāvaṇa, śayiṣyase hato bhūmau yathāpūrvam kharas tathā/ asakrt samyuge yena nihatā daityadānavāḥ, nacirāc cīravāsās tvām rāmo yudhi vadhiṣyati/ kim nu śakyam mayā kartum gatau dūram nrpātmajau, kṣipram tvam naśyase nīca tayor bhīto na samśayaḥ/ na hi me jīvamānasya nayiṣyasi śubhām imām, sītām kamalapatrākṣīm rāmasya mahaṣīm priyām/ avaśyam tu mayā kāryam priyam tasya mahātmanaḥ, jīvitenāpi rāmasya tathā daśarathasya ca/ tiṣṭha daśagrīva muhūrtam paśya rāvaṇa, yuddhātithyam pradāsyāmi yathāprāṇam niśācara, vṛntād iva phalam tvām tu pātayeyam rathottamāt/

As Devi Sita was crying and shouted at Jatayu from the donkey chariot of Ravanasura, the great bird was actually resting in sleep. As Jatayu of a mountain top like height of its body with sharp beak opened his eves and addressed Rayana with composure: Dashamukha Rayana! I am the grudhra raja Jatayu as dedicated to dharma and nyaaya. Brother, please do not perform that act of abduction of Devi Sita the pativrata of Shri Rama. Dasharatha nandana Rama is a unique personality of fame and follows virtue and justice and what you are seeking to perform is most inappropriate. Could there be King like you stoop to this kind of a detestable and disgusting act! Mahabali Ravana! Kings of your standing and fame are least expected of you. Buddhimaan! Kings are expected to uphold the honour and dignity of women, but what is now visible is quite contrary! Some one else's wife is stated as a sister or mother and the path to the contrary is a slippery leading to the proverbial narakas for award of retribution of natural justice. Pulastha kula nandana! Please refrain from this act of passion and over indulgence. rājā dharmaś ca kāmaś ca dravyānām cottamo nidhih, dharmah subham vā pāpam vā rājamūlam pravartate/pāpasvabhāvas capalah katham tvam raksasām vara, aiśvaryam abhisamprāpto vimānam iva duskṛtī/ A king is expected to be a repositor and enforcer of Dharma, Sadaachaara and contrarily of sinful mindedness. How could you be an exception. Tell me if you seek revenge against what Surpanakha did and Khara and his followers had deserved, is this act of timidity justified in Rama's absence; what is expected is to fight with Rama but not to kidnap his wife! Is this not shameful for a King of your stature! Ravana! Do leave Devi Sita from this stage lest Rama gets provoked and uproot your existense and along with it the name and fame of your vamsha too.Ravana! you seem to have been robed in clothes full of poison of snakes and tied up your neck with chains of Mrityu and yet do not realise as to what you are heading to! Any person of senses should lift up only that much of heavy weight to his capacity and likewise consume only that much of food intake as per his maximum, lest he would lose balance or end up in ruinous indigestion. yat kṛtvā na bhaved dharmo na kīrtir na yaśo bhuvi, śarīrasya bhavet khedaḥ kas tat karma samācaret/ That specific task which seems reasonable and worthy of virtue and praiseworthy be resorted to but acts of unjust violence be avoided at any cost. Ravana! If still you continue with your arrogance and stupidity, then I should have no option but to face me to attack and then you should the ruinous path of your destruction. Even in in case, you might survive in our mutual attack, let it be realise that most certainly, Ramachandra who had only recently decimated Khara Dushanas would destroy you, your entire heros behind you and the 'vamsha naashana' to re establish and vindicate 'dharma and nyaya.' As of now unfortunately, the heros of invincibility are away as per your evil plan as of now, but dharma shall be vindicated eventually.

Sarga Fifty One

Fierce battle between Jataayu and Ravanasura but Ravana kills Jatayu

Ity uktasya yathānyāyam rāvaṇasya jaṭāyuṣā, kruddhasyāgninibhāḥ sarvā rejur viṁśatidṛṣṭayaḥ/ saṁraktanayanaḥ kopāt taptakāñcanakuṇḍalaḥ, rākṣasendro 'bhidudrāva patagendram amarṣaṇaḥ/ sa samprahāras tumulas tayos tasmin mahāvane, babhūva vātoddhatayor meghayor gagane yathā/ tad babhūvādbhutam yuddham grdhrarāksasayos tadā, sapaksayor mālyavator mahāparvatayor iva/ tato nālīkanārācais tīkṣṇāgraiś ca vikarṇibhiḥ, abhyavarṣan mahāghorair grdhrarājaṁ mahābalah/ sa tāni śarajālāni grdhraḥ patraratheśvaraḥ, jaṭāyuḥ pratijagrāha rāvaṇāstrāṇi saṃyuge/ tasya tīkṣṇanakhā bhyām tu caranābhyām mahābalah, cakāra bahudhā gātre vranān patagasattamah/ atha krodhād daśagrīvo jagrāha daśamārgaṇān, mṛtyudaṇḍanibhān ghorāñ śatrumardanakānkṣayā/ sa tair bāṇair mahāvīryah pūrņamuktair ajihmagaih, bibheda nisitais tīkṣṇair gṛdhram ghoraih śilīmukhaih/ sa rāksasarathe paśyañ jānakīm bāspalocanām, acintavityā bānāms tān rāksasam samabhidrayat/ tato 'sya saśaram cāpam muktāmanivibhūsitam, caranābhyām mahātejā babhañja patageśvarah/ tac cāgnisadrśam dīptam rāvanasya śarāvaram, paksābhyām ca mahātejā vyadhunot patageśvarah/ kāñcanoraschadān divyān pisācavadanān kharān, tāms cāsya javasampannāñ jaghāna samare balī/ varam trivenusampannam kāmagam pāvakārcisam, manihemavicitrāngam babhañja ca mahāratham, pūrņacandrapratīkāśam chatram ca vyajanaih saha/ sa bhagnadhanvā viratho hatāśvo hatasārathih, ankenādāya vaidehīm papāta bhuvi rāvaņaḥ/ drstvā nipatitam bhūmau rāvaņam bhagnavāhanam, sādhu sādhy iti bhūtāni grdhrarājam apūjayan/ pariśrāntam tu tam drstyā jarayā paksiyūthapam, utpapāta punar hṛṣṭo maithilīm gṛhya rāvaṇaḥ/ tam prahṛṣṭam nidhāyānke gacchantam janakātmajām, grdhrarājah samutpatya jaṭāyur idam abravīt/ vajrasamsparśabāṇasya bhāryām rāmasya rāvaṇa, alpabuddhe harasy enām vadhāya khalu raksasām/samitrabandhuh sāmātyah sabalah saparicchadah, visapānam pibasy etat pipāsita ivodakam/ anubandham ajānantah karmanām avicaksanāh, śīghram eva vinaśyanti yathā tvam vinaśişyasi/ baddhas tvam kālapāśena kva gatas tasya mokṣyase, vadhāya baḍiśam grhva sāmisam jalajo vathā/ na hi jātu durādharsau kākutsthau tava rāvana, dharsanam cāśramasvāsva kṣamiṣyete tu rāghavau/ yathā tvayā kṛtam karma bhīruṇā lokagarhitam, taskarācarito mārgo naiṣa vīranisevitah/ yudhyasva yadi śūro 'si muhūrtam tistha rāvana, śayisyase hato bhūmau yathā bhrātā kharas tathā/ paretakāle puruso yat karma pratipadyate, vināśāyātmano 'dharmyam pratipanno 'si karma tat/ pāpānubandho vai yasya karmanah ko nu tat pumān, kurvīta lokādhipatih svayambhūr bhagavān api/ evam uktvā śubham vākvam jatāvus tasva raksasah, nipapāta bhrśam pṛsthe daśagrīvasva vīryavān/ tam grhītvā nakhais tīkṣṇair virarāda samantataḥ, adhirūḍho gajārohi yathā syād dustavāranam/ virarāda nakhair asva tundam prsthe samarpavan, kešāms cotpātavām āsa nakhapakṣamukhāyudhaḥ/sa tathā gṛdhrarājena kliśyamāno muhur muhuḥ, amarṣasphuritauṣṭhaḥ san prākampata sa rākṣasaḥ/ sampariṣvajya vaidehīm vāmenānkena rāvaṇaḥ, talenābhijaghānārto jaṭāyum krodhamūrchitah/ jatāvus tam atikramya tundenāsya kharādhipah, vāmabāhūn daśa tadā vyapāharad arimdamah/ tatah kruddho daśakrīvah sītām utsrjya vīryavān, mustibhyām caranābhyām ca grdhrarājam apothayat/tato muhūrtam samgrāmo babhūvātulavīryayoh, rāksasānām ca mukhyasya paksinām pravarasya ca/ tasya vyāyacchamānasya rāmasyārthe 'tha rāvanah, paksau pādau ca pārśvau ca khadgam uddhṛtya so 'cchinat/ sa chinnapakṣaḥ sahasā rakṣasā raudrakarmaṇā, nipapāta hato gṛdhro dharanyām alpajīvitah/ tam dṛṣṭvā patitam bhūmau kṣatajārdram jaṭāyuṣam, abhyadhāvata vaidehī svabandhum iva duḥkhitā/ tam nīlajīmūtanikāśakalpam; supānduroraskam udāravīryam, dadarśa lankādhipatih prthivyām; jatāyusam śāntam ivāgnidāvam/ tatas tu tam patraratham mahītale; nipātitam rāvanavegamarditam, punah parisvajya śaśiprabhānanā; ruroda sītā ,anakātmajā tadā/

Ravana was incensed with the 'dharma pravachanas' of Jatayu and chased the Giant Bird in the encounter. Both of them attacked each other, like the enormous speed of the rushing winds. It appeared that in this frightful battle, they seemed that each of them were tossing at each other the illustrious Maalvayaan Parvatas. Then Ravana rushed arrows from his dhanush by way of 'bhayankara mantrika astraas' such as Naaleeka-Naaraacha-and Vikeerna. While releasing the celestial arrows, Ravana's ten furious faces were distorted and ferocius akin to Kaala danda Yama Raja. Having survived the attacks of the 'mantrika baanaas', Maha Bali Grudhra Raaja attacked Ravana's 'dasha mukhas' with its powerful and sharp nails like frightful swords and 'trishulaas' as the asura's facial blood was like never ending streams. Then Maha Parakrami Ravana drew his dhanush straight and high aimed at the huge sized mountain like Jatayu with his fearfully raised shoulders and the twenty energetic hands had rained the mantrik arrows in continous flows. The strong and firm feet of the Great Bird were pieced like minced

feet which disbaled it to fly here and there freely and the continous release of the arrows released by the Asura kept on smashing the wings, the beak and its huge mouth while the strong wings disallowed its movement let alone the speed. Ravana's steel kayacha the body shield of solid steel was bright like red fire. But in response Jatayu hit Ravana's dhanush. Then the valiant Ravana riding the donkey chariot sought to attack the disabled grudhra raaja but the latter lifted the sarathi up in the ferocious winds and killed him by its fearful beak to pieces of flesh. Later on he lifted the chariot up by its beak and smashed the wheels and the axises. sa bhagnadhanvā viratho hatāśvo hatasārathih, ankenādāva vaidehīm papāta bhuvi rāvanah/ In this way, Ravana too was disabled with his dhanush broken, saradhi killed and horses done to death, then he had to finally jumped out of the broken chariot with Devi Sita safe on his lap. The onlooker Being on the earth kept on shouting 'saadhu saadhu' at that picturesque scene of the encounter. Having taken Devi Sita on his lap, Ravana found himself disabled too yet, the dauntless Dashagreeva lifted his sword out of its sheath jumped at the Giant Bird. With all its latent body strength, the wing less Jatayu jumped high and shouted: vajrasamsparśabāṇasya bhāryām rāmasya rāvaṇa, alpabuddhe harasy enām vadhāya khalu rakṣasām/samitrabandhuḥ sāmātyaḥ sabalaḥ saparicchadaḥ, viṣapānam pibasy etat pipāsita ivodakam/ 'Manda buddhi Ravana! Most certainly, Shri Rama is going to chase you for your unpardonable crime of 'Sitaapaharana' and destroy and devastate you.. Just as a person out of acute thirst gulps waters, you are walloping poison. Along with you too, your friends, relatives, ministers, sena and the entire associates. anubandham ajānantah karmanām avicaksanāh, śīghram eva vinaśvanti yathā tvam vinaśisyasi/ baddhas tvam kālapāśena kva gatas tasya mokṣyase, vadhāya baḍiśam grhya sāmiṣam jalajo yathā/Your 'karma parinaama' or what all you are practising now would end up in your doom very soon and be disastrous. You are tied up tightly with your 'kaala paasha', or the noose of the time and would it be ever possible to loosen its grip! Like the tasty piece of meat is attracted by a mighty fish in deep waters, your shameless sin of 'Sitaapaharana' would tighten your noose. Ravana! Kakutstha kula bhushana Shri Rama and his most able and everfaithful brother Lakshmana are peerless warriors and would they ever spare you but with devastation for your disgraceful act! You are a coward and fearful; the world would reject you as a thief. Even your brother Khara fought a valiant battle and fell attaining veera sarga. But you are a mere ill famed common and mean trickster! paretakāle puruso yat karma pratipadyate, vināśāyātmano 'dharmyam pratipanno 'si karma tat/ pāpānubandho vai yasya karmaṇaḥ ko nu tat pumān, kurvīta lokādhipatih svayambhūr bhagavān api/ At the vinaasha kaala, a person resorts to ill justified ways and means and you are only reiterating that age old truism. As the disaster at one's threshold, the inevitable temptation draws one attractively and that is indeed the truism of life and fate!' Having screamed at Ravana likewise, Parakrami Jataayu flew on to the body of Ravana with hitting speed and with its sharp beak grilled the asuras body like an 'ankusha' on an elephant head. Its beak, wings and nails are the huge bird's 'aayudhaas' or the peerless weapons. Then Ravana with enormous pain and irritation hit the bird. In retaliation, Jatayu sought to severe his mighty hands even as Devi Sita was relieved temporarily but the hands sprouted and reappeared repetitively. Thereafter, Ravana having lifted his sword once again and severerd Jatayu's wings as the illustious grudhra crumbled down dying, while the latter and Devi Sita exchanged their glances; she with gratitude and he with his feeling of failed valour and strong conviction that finally truth should triumph. And Ravana pulled Devi Sita back on to his lap as the latter resumed her lamentations with no defence in sight.

Sarga Fifty Two

Thus Rayanasura finally concludes 'Sitaapaharana' as Devi Sita was kept under vigilant custody

Tam alpajīvitam bhūmau sphurantam rākṣasādhipaḥ,dadarśa grdhram patitam samīpe rāghavāśramāt/ sā tu tārādhipamukhī rāvaṇena samīkṣya tam, grdhrarājam vinihatam vilalāpa suduḥkhitā/ nimittam lakṣaṇajñānam śakunisvaradarśanam, avaśyam sukhaduḥkheṣu narāṇām pratidrśyate/ na nūnam rāma jānāsi mahad vyasanam ātmajaḥ, dhāvanti nūnam kākutstha madartham mrgapakṣiṇaḥ/ trāhi mām adya kākutstha lakṣmaṇeti varāṅganā, susamtrastā samākrandac chṛṇvatām tu yathāntike/ tām kliṣṭamālyābharaṇām vilapantīm anāthavat, abhyadhāvata vaidehīm rāvaṇo rākṣasādhipaḥ/ tām latām

iva vestantīm ālingantīm mahādrumān, muñca muñceti bahuśah pravadan rāksasādhipah/krośantīm rāma rāmeti rāmena rahitām vane, jīvitāntāva keśesu jagrāhāntakasamnibhah/ pradharsitāvām vaidehyām babhūva sacarācaram, jagat sarvam amaryādam tamasāndhena samvṛtam/ dṛṣṭvā sītām parāmṛṣṭām dīnām divyena cakṣuṣā, kṛṭam kāryam iti śrīmān vyājahāra pitāmahah/ prahṛṣṭā vyathitāś cāsan sarve te paramarsayah, drstvā sītām parāmrstām dandakāranyavāsinah/ sa tu tām rāma rāmeti rudantīm lakşmaneti ca, jagāmākāśam ādāya rāvano rākṣasādhipah/ taptābharaṇasarvāngī pītakauśeyavāsanī, rarāja rājaputrī tu vidyut saudāmanī yathā/ uddhūtena ca vastreņa tasyāh pītena rāvaṇaḥ, adhikam paribabhrāja girir dīpa ivāgninā/ tasyāḥ paramakalyāṇyās tāmrāṇi surabhīṇi ca, padmapatrāni vaidehyā abhyakīryanta rāvanam/ tasyāh kauśeyam uddhūtam ākāśe kanakaprabham, babhau cādityarāgena tāmram abhram ivātape/ tasyās tad vimalam vaktram ākāśe rāvanāṅkagam, na rarāja vinā rāmam vinālam iva pankajam/ babhūva jaladam nīlam bhittvā candra ivoditah, sulalātam sukeśāntam padmagarbhābham avranam, śuklaih suvimalair dantaih prabhāvadbhir alamkṛtam/ ruditam vyapamrstāstram candravat priyadarśanam, sunāsam cārutāmraustham ākāse hātakaprabham/ rākṣasendrasamādhūtam tasyās tad vacanam śubham, śuśubhe na vinā rāmam divā candra ivoditah/ sā hemayarnā nīlāngam maithilī rāksasādhipam, susubhe kāncanī kāncī nīlam manim iyāsritā/ sā padmagaurī hemābhā rāvaṇam janakātmajā, vidyudghanam ivāvisya susubhe taptabhūṣaṇā/ tasyā bhūṣaṇaghoṣeṇa vaidehyā rākṣasādhipaḥ, babhūva vimalo nīlaḥ saghoṣa iva toyadaḥ/ uttamāṅgacyutā tasyāh puspavṛstih samantatah, sītāyā hriyamānāyāh papāta dharanītale/ sā tu rāvanavegena puspavṛstih samantatah, samādhūtā daśagrīvam punar evābhyavartata/ abhyavartata puspānām dhārā vaiśravaṇānujam, nakṣatramālāvimalā merum nagam ivottamam/ caraṇān nūpuram bhraṣṭam vaidehyā ratnabhūṣitam, vidyunmaṇḍalasamkāśam papāta madhurasvanam/ tarupravālaraktā sā nīlāngam rākṣaseśvaram, prāśobhayata vaidehī gajam kaṣyeva kāñcanī/ tām maholkām ivākāśe dīpyamānām svatejasā, jahārākāśam āviśya sītām vaiśravanānujah/tasyās tāny agnivarnāni bhūsanāni mahītale, saghosāny avakīryanta ksīnās tārā ivāmbarāt/ tasyāh stanāntarād bhrasto hāras tārādhipadyutih/ vaidehyā nipatan bhāti gangeva gaganāc cyutā/ utpāta vātābhihatā nānādvija ganāyutāh, mā bhair iti vidhūtāgrā vyājahrur iva pādapāh/ nalinyo dhvastakamalās trastamīnajale carāh, sakhīm iva gatotsāhām śocantīva sma maithilīm/ samantād abhisampatya simhavyāghramṛgadvijāḥ, anvadhāvams tadā roṣāt sītācchāvānugāminah/ jalaprapātāsramukhāh śrṅgair ucchritabāhavah, sītāvām hrivamānāvām vikrośantīva parvatāh/ hrivamānām tu vaidehīm drstvā dīno divākarah, pravidhvastaprabhah śrīmān āsīt pāṇḍuramaṇḍalaḥ/ nāsti dharmaḥ kutaḥ satyam nārjavam nānṛśamsatā, yatra rāmasya vaidehīm bhāryām harati rāvanah/ iti sarvāni bhūtāni ganaśah paryadevayan, vitrastakā dīnamukhā rurudur mrgapotakāh/ udvīksyodvīksya nayanair āsrapātāvileksanāh, supravepitagātrāś ca babhūvur vanadevatāh/ vikrośantīm drdham sītām drstvā duhkham tathā gatām, tām tu laksmana rāmeti krośantīm madhurasvarām/ aveksamānām bahuso vaidehīm dharanītalam, sa tām ākulakeśāntām vipramṛṣṭaviśeṣakām, jahārātmavināśāya daśagrīvo manasvinām/ tatas tu sā cārudatī śucismitā; vinākṛtā bandhujanena maithilī, apaśyatī rāghavalakṣmanāv ubhau; vivarṇavaktrā bhayabhārapīditā/

Devi lamented with extraordinary grief stating that human beings do receive danger signals by way of bad omens, dreams and strange voices of birds; such signals are not only for dangers but auspicious augaries too. Then she in her interior thoughts as a soliloquy, she addressed Shri Rama: 'Kakutstha kula bhushana! I did notice the premonitions of inauspicius nature that deers and birds were running hither and thither in opposite directions but those were ignored. I felt some relief when I sighted and screamed Pakshi Raja but most unfortunately it was lying dead having done a valiant fight. Hey Rama! Hey Lakshmana! Save me whereever you are! Hey, high trees, flowers and creepers, save me from this tense and dense condition.' As Sita was continuosly uttering within herself 'Rama Rama', darkness commenced engulfing by the fall of the day. Then the disgusting Rakshasa pulled her by her long and soft hairs, while it appeared that Brahma felt now that her fate was be in action! Maharshis then anticipated that the last days of Ravana commenced ticking by slowly and so does his fate getting sealed gradually. The hapless Sita kept on uttering Ha Rama, Ha Rama repetitively; in sudden outbursts she was crying away incessantly. She was then ornamented with molten gold and wearing a yellow saree and it was in that body form Ravana was carrying her by his vimana. As she was seated on the lap of Ravana, it seemed that her innocent visage as

reflective of the yellowish Sun Set overcovered by the copperish cloud groupings. All of a sudden, she broke out like of cloud bursts. Deep within her heart, she addressed Shri Rama: 'Purusha Simha! Bharata must be by now performing tapasya, as he discarded kingship, self pride, comforts of life, and surely he ought to attain swarga sukhas post life. He is ideal a son of King Dasharatha as against the most vicious mother Kaikeyi is. It s her role that has an impact on me. Thinking of your brother Lakshmana, I do yearn for some golden days in future; but Lakshmana! When would those auspicious days might arrive! When indeed would it be possible as Rama Lakshmanas could join me in Godavari snaansa and tarpanas. Would not such snaanaas be like Parameshvara and Devi Parvati in the company of Nandeeshwara!' So immersed in her musings, Devi Sita pursued her deep thoughts during her journey seated on Ravana's lap while riding the chariot of donkeys!

Sarga Fifty Three

Rattled and shocked Devi Sita shouts being highy critical of Ravana and his heinous actions

Kham utpatantam tam dṛṣṭvā maithilī janakātmajā, duḥkhitā paramodvignā bhaye mahati vartinī/ rosarodanatāmrāksī bhīmāksam rāksasādhipam, rudatī karunam sītā hriyamānedam abravīt/ na vyapatrapase nīca karmanānena rāvana, jnātvā virahitām yo mām coravitvā palāyase/ tvayaiva nūnam duṣṭātman bhīruṇā hartum icchatā, mamāpavāhito bhartā mṛgarūpeṇa māyayā, yo hi mām udyatas trātum so 'py ayam vinipātitaḥ/ paramam khalu te vīryam drsyate rākṣasādhama, visrāvya nāmadheyam hi yuddhe nāsti jitā tvayā/īdṛśaṁ garhitaṁ karma kathaṁ kṛtvā na lajjase, striyāś ca haraṇaṁ nīca rahite ca parasya ca/ kathayisyanti lokesu purusāh karma kutsitam, sunrsamsam adharmistham tava śaundīryamāninah/ dhik te śauryam ca sattvam ca yat tvayā kathitam tadā, kulākrośakaram loke dhik te cāritram īdrśam/ kim śakyam kartum evam hi yaj javenaiva dhāvasi, muhūrtam api tisthasva na jīvan pratiyāsyasi/ na hi cakṣuḥpatham prāpya tayoḥ pārthivaputrayoḥ, sasainyo 'pi samartaḥs tvam muhūrtam api jīvitum/ na tvam tayoḥ śarasparśam soḍhum śaktaḥ katham cana, vane prajvalitasyeva sparśam agner vihamgamah/ sādhu krtvātmanah pathyam sādhu mām muñca rāvana, matpradharsanarusto hi bhrātrā saha patir mama, vidhāsvati vināśāva tvam mām vadi na muñcasi/ vena tvam vyavasāyena balān mām hartum icchasi, vyavasāyah sa te nīca bhavişyati nirarthakah/ na hy aham tam apaśyantī bhartāram vibudhopamam, utsahe śatruvaśagā prānān dhārayitum ciram/ na nūnam cātmanah śreyah pathyam vā samaveksase, mrtyukāle yathā martyo viparītāni sevate/ mumūrsūnām hi sarvesām yat pathyam tan na rocate, paśyāmīva hi kanthe tvām kālapāśāvapāśitam/ yathā cāsmin bhayasthāne na bibhese daśānana, vyaktam hiranmayān hi tvam sampaśyasi mahīruhān/ nadīm vairatanīm ghorām rudhiraughanivāhinīm, khadgapatravanam caiva bhīmam paśyasi rāvana/ taptakāñcanapuṣpām ca vaidūryapravaracchadām,drakṣyase śālmalīm tīkṣṇām āyasaiḥ kaṇṭakaiś citām/ na hi tvam īdṛśam kṛtvā tasyālīkam mahātmanah, dhāritum śakṣyasi ciram viṣam pītveva nirghṛṇaḥ/ baddhas tvam kālapāśena durnivārena rāvana, kva gato lapsyase śarma bhartur mama mahātmanah/ nimesāntaramātrena vinā bhrātaram āhave, rāksasā nihatā vena sahasrāni caturdaśa/ sa katham rāghavo vīraḥ sarvāstrakuśalo balī, na tvām hanyāc charais tīkṣṇair iṣṭabhāryāpahāriṇam/ etac cānyac ca parusam vaidehī rāvanānkagā, bhayaśokasamāvistā karunam vilalāpa ha/tathā bhrśārtām bahu caiva bhāsinīm; vilalāpa pūrvam karunam ca bhāminīm, jahāra pāpas tarunīm vivestatīm; nṛpātmajām āgatagātravepathum/

As Ravana was forcibly abducting Devi Sita and flying off to Lanka by his donkey chariot,.she felt disgusted and humiliated. While crying away she reddened her eyes with agony, partly appealing and mostly criticising caustically she addresed the haughty and mighty Asura as follows: 'villianonous Rashasa! Are you not ashamed of yourself when you are kidnapping me as I was alone and helpless when my heroic husband was away. Dushtatma! You are a miserable timid being. Undoubtedly you schemed to despatch the Maya Mriga Rakshasa to tempt me and distanced my dear husband away. You killed my rescuer Jatayu the close friend of my father-in- law. paramam khalu te vīryam dṛśyate rākṣasādhama,

viśrāvya nāmadheyam hi yuddhe nāsti jitā tvayā/īdrśam garhitam karma katham krtvā na lajjase, striyāś ca haranam nīca rahite ca parasya ca/Degraded Rakshasa! You might have succeeded to defeat and kill a Giant Bird, but by announcing your name and notoriety, you are incapable to face my heroic husband Rama and his able brother Lakshmana in a face to face battle! You imagine that you are a warrior but essentailly you are a downgraded and meserabled coward. Are you not ashamed of yourself to kidnap a lonely and helpless woman! kathayisyanti lokeşu puruşāḥ karma kutsitam, sunṛśaṁsam adharmiṣṭhaṁ tava śaundīryamāninah/ dhik te śauryam ca sattvam ca yat tvayā kathitam tadā, kulākrośakaram loke dhik te cāritram īdrśam/You feel and claim that you are a renowned and peerless hero, but the world knows that you are a mean, miserable, cruel and sinful specimen of God's creation. You are the blackmost blemish of your vamasha and the darkest spot of history of the past and the present age. Why are you running away with timidity and fear of the public! Like a sky bound bird gets frightened with earthly forest fires, you could never taste the deadly arrows of my husband and his brother. sādhu kṛtvātmanaḥ pathyam sādhu mām muñca rāvaṇa, matpradharṣaṇaruṣṭo hi bhrātrā saha patir mama, vidhāsyati vināśāya tvam mām yadi na muñcasi/ yena tvam vyavasāyena balān mām hartum icchasi, vvavasāvah sa te nīca bhavisvati nirarthakah/ Ravana! If you donot leave me alone even now, my vengence ought to lead you to devising ways and means of my husband, and brother in law to most certainly hunt you like miserable preys to tigers. Neecha rakshasa! The manipulation and planning that your evil mind had devised to kidnap me would not only be a miserable failure and a wasted effort! Do note that if do not release me now, I would not live even to witness your certain death! Nishachara! I shall therefore soon wait and witness the joyous scene of your tragic death at the earliest. Ravana! Most certainly you are soon going to witness the sight of Golden Trees and the bloodful flows of Vaitarani as the entry points of asipatra forests replete with gold like trees and flowers! [The details of the twenty one hells are Taamishra, Lohashanku, Maha Niraya, Shalmali, Rouraya, Kumbhala, Puti mrittika, Kaala Sutra, Sanghata, Tohiloda, Savisha, Samprapaatana, Maha Naraka, Kaakola, Sanjeevana, Maha Patha, Aveechi, Andhataamisra, Kumbheepaaka, Asipatravana, and Taapana.]. Nirdaya nishaachara! You are executing a maha paataka against the celestial figure of Shri Rama and surely your serving up yourself the thickest slow poison and would not survive for long! Indeed you are fastening and tightening yourself the 'Kaala Pasha' voluntariy with neither brain nor brawn!.' Thus Devi Sita counted as among the Maha Pativratas broke down crying with 'karunaa swara' and with shaken tone.

Sarga Fifty Four

As Devi Sita sought to drop down her jewellery and dress to notify Rama Lakshmanas, Ravana kept vigil by five monkeys, and at Lanka in antahpura by eight rakshasis.

Hriyamāṇā tu vaidehī kam cin nātham apaśyatī, dadarśa giriśrngasthān pañcavānarapumgavān/ teṣām madhye viśālākṣī kauśeyam kanakaprabham, uttarīyam varārohā śubhāny ābharaṇāni ca, mumoca yadi rāmāya śaṃseyur iti maithilī/ vastram utsriya tan madhye viniksiptam sabhūsanam, saṃbhramāt tu daśagrīvas tat karma na ca buddhivān/ piṅgāksās tām viśālāksīm netrair animisair iva/ vikrośantīm tadā sītām dadrsur vānararsabhāh/ sa ca pampām atikramya lankām abhimukhah purīm, jagāma rudatīm grhya maithilīm rāksaseśvarah/ tām jahāra susamhrsto rāvano mrtyum ātmanah, utsangenaiva bhujagīm tīksnadamstrām mahāvisām/ vanāni saritah śailān sarāmsi ca vihāyasā, sa ksipram samatīyāya śaraś cāpād iva cyutah/ timinakraniketam tu varunālayam aksayam, saritām śaranam gatvā samatīyāya sāgaram/ sambhramāt parivṛttormī ruddhamīnamahoragah, vaidehyām hriyamāṇāyām babhūva varuṇālayaḥ/ antarikṣagatā vācaḥ sasrjuś cāraṇās tadā, etad anto daśagrīva iti siddhās tadābruvan/ sa tu sītām vivestantīm ankenādāya rāvaņah, pravivesa purīm lankām rūpinīm mṛtyum ātmanah/ so 'bhigamya purīm lankām suvibhaktamahāpathām, samrūdhakakṣyā bahulam svam antaḥpuram āviśat/ tatra tām asitāpāngīm sokamohaparāyanām, nidadhe rāvanah sītām mayo māyām ivāsurīm/ abravīc ca daśagrīvah piśācīr ghoradarśanāh, yathā nainām pumān strī vā sītām paśyaty asammatah/ muktāmaņisuvarņāni vastrāņy ābharaņāni ca, yad yad icchet tad evāsyā deyam macchandato yathā/yā ca vaksyati vaidehīm vacanam kim cid apriyam, ajñānād vadi vā jñānān na tasyā jīvitam priyam/

tathoktvā rākṣasīs tās tu rākṣasendraḥ pratāpavān, niṣkramyāntaḥpurāt tasmāt kim kṛtyam iti cintayan, dadarśāṣṭau mahāvīryān rākṣasān piśitāśanān/ sa tān dṛṣṭvā mahāvīryo varadānena mohitaḥ, uvācaitān idam vākyam praśasya balavīryataḥ/ nānāpraharaṇāḥ kṣipram ito gacchata satvarāḥ, janasthānam hatasthānam bhūtapūrvam kharālayam/ tatroṣyatām janasthāne śūnye nihatarākṣase, pauruṣam balam āśritya trāsam utsṛjya dūrataḥ/ balam hi sumahad yan me janasthāne niveśitam, sadūṣaṇakharam yuddhe hatam tad rāmasāyakaiḥ/ tataḥ krodho mamāpūrvo dhairyasyopari vardhate, vairam ca sumahaj jātam rāmam prati sudāruṇam/ niryātayitum icchāmi tac ca vairam aham ripoḥ, na hi lapsyāmy aham nidrām ahatvā samyuge ripum/ tam tv idānīm aham hatvā kharadūṣaṇaghātinam, rāmam śarmopalapsyāmi dhanam labdhveva nirdhanaḥ/ janasthāne vasadbhis tu bhavadbhī rāmam āśritā, pravṛttir upanetavyā kim karotīti tattvataḥ/ apramādāc ca gantavyam sarvair eva niśācaraiḥ, kartavyaś ca sadā yatno rāghavasya vadham prati/ yuṣmākam hi balajño 'ham bahuśo raṇamūrdhani, ataś cāsmiñ janasthāne mayā yūyam niyojitāḥ/ tataḥ priyam vākyam upetya rākṣasā; mahārtham aṣṭāv abhivādya rāvaṇa, vihāya lankām sahitāḥ pratasthire; yato janasthānam alakṣyadarśanāḥ/ tatas tu sītām upalabhya rāvaṇaḥ; susamprahṛṣṭaḥ parigṛhya maithilīm/ prasajya rāmeṇa ca vairam uttamam; babhūva mohān muditaḥ sa rākṣasaḥ/

As Devi Sita was feeling desperate and helpless, the donkey chariot reached the top of a mountain and she found that there were five monkeys seated there in. She thought over a while and started discarding her jewellery and silk robes apparently to draw the attention of the onlookers on the earth and possibly Rama Lakshmanas. Ravana was confused at her intentions and actions while the female monkeys started crying. Meanwhile the chariot crossed pampaa sarovara and dashed down at Lanka, even while Devi Sita was crying away distressed frantically. Nishachara Ravana was thrilled having arrived at Lanka as he placed Sita down from his strong grip on his lap as though a of a poisonous serpent. He felt relieved as if a well streached arrow by crossing forests, rivers, and mountains had finally reached his destination. Actually, while crossing the 'varunalaya samudra' nearing Lanka, he felt some itters that there might be hurdles there like huge fishes or 'maha naagas' springing up and out from the mid sea. Then the Charana Devatas on the high skies appeared to have exclaimed: 'now, the quizz of Ravana's life time has commenced the possibility in reverse path and the final solution has arrived in the form of Devi Sita!'.

[Note: One version of Ramayana describes that Sita Devi entered Lankapuri was the Maya Sita as the original was hiding in 'Agni Jvaalaas', who reappeared after Shri Rama's agni pareeksha of the original Devi Sita]

Devi Sita stared at the road network, entry-exit gates, and so on of Lankapuri. Then she was ushered into the 'antahpura' the interiors of females. Then Dashagreeva Ravana commanded ten anaakaari female 'pishaachas' to guard her but with strict warning to speak or perfom any questionable misbehavior with Devi Sita then their death would be certain. On exiting the 'antahpura' Ravana was then pondering over as to what should be his next step. Then he came across eight 'Nara maamsa aahaari Maha Rakshasaas' greeted Ravana and having praised his outstanding abilities of his brawn and brain pointed out the erstwhile residing place of the renowned Khara Rakshasa, the brother of King Ravana. The Maha Rakshasaas stated regretfully: Bahu sainyam maha veeryam janasthaane niveshitam, sadushana kharam yuddhe nihatam Raamaaayakaih/ One of the Maha Rakshasaas explained to Ravana that he had reserved that nearby residence of maha parakrami Khara and his senapati Dushana but unfortunately one human warrior named Rama killed them and his vast 'sena'. The Maha Rakshasa then declared to King Ravana: tataḥ krodho mamāpūrvo dhairyasyopari vardhate, vairam ca sumahaj jātam rāmam prati sudāruṇam/ niryātayitum icchāmi tac ca vairam aham ripoḥ, na hi lapsyāmy aham nidrām ahatvā samyuge ripum/ It is that vengence and mighty anger with which I have therefore decided that Rama should be my arch evemy to be killed! Unless and until Rama gets killed, my consciousness could be cooled down. Like a pauper and beggar should ever aspire to be a highly rich and prosperous person, my sole objective and motto of life would be to mercilessly kill Rama who killed giants like Khara Dushanas!' As the Maha

Rakshasaas and their leader expressed their resolve, they were excitedly thrilled to realise that Ravanasura had already launched the initial step of 'Sitaapaharana'!

Sarga Fifty Five

Ravanasura takes Devi Sita to his antahpura and seeks to pressurise her to become his queen

Samdiśya rākṣasān ghorān rāvaṇo 'ṣṭau mahābalān, ātmānam buddhivaiklavyāt kṛtakṛtyam amanyata/ sa cintayāno vaidehīm kāmabānasamarpitah, praviveśa grham ramyam sītām drastum abhitvaran/ sa praviśya tu tadveśma rāvano rāksasādhipah, apaśyad rāksasīmadhye sītām śokaparāvanam/ aśrupūrnamukhīm dīnām śokabhārāvapīditām, vāyuvegair ivākrāntām majjantīm nāvam arnave/ mrgayūthaparibhrastām mrgīm śvabhir ivāvrtām, adhomukhamukhīm dīnām abhyetya ca niśācarah/ tām tu śokavaśām dīnām avaśām rākṣasādhipaḥ, sa balād darśayām āsa grham devagrhopamam/ harmyaprāsādasambadham strīsahasranisevitam,nānāpaksiganair justam nānāratnasamanvitam/ kāñcanais tāpanīyais ca sphātikai rājatais tathā, vajravaidūryacitrais ca stambhair drstimanohara/ divyadundubhinirhrādam taptakāñcanatoraṇam, sopānam kāñcanam citram āruroha tayā saha/ dāntakā rājatāś caiva gavākṣāḥ priyadarśanāḥ, hemajālāvṛtāś cāsams tatra prāsādapanktayaḥ/ sudhāmanivicitrāni bhūmibhāgāni sarvaśah,daśagrīvah svabhavane prādarśayata maithilīm/ dīrghikāh puskarinyas ca nānāpuspasamāvṛtāh, rāvano darsayām āsa sītām sokaparāyanām/ darsayitvā tu vaidehīm kṛtsnam tad bhavanottamam, uvāca vākyam pāpātmā rāvaņo janakātmajām/ daśarākṣasakoṭyaś ca dvāvimsatir athāparāḥ, varjayitvā jarā vrddhān bālāms ca rajanīcarān/ teṣām prabhur aham sīte sarveṣām bhīmakarmaṇām, sahasram ekam ekasya mama kāryapuraḥsaram/ yad idam rājyatantram me tvayi sarvam pratisthitam, jīvitam ca viśālākṣi tvam me prāṇair garīyasī/ bahūnām strīsahasrāṇām mama yo 'sau parigrahaḥ, tāsāṁ tvam īśvarī sīte mama bhāryā bhava priye/ sādhu kiṁ te 'nyayā buddhyā rocayasva vaco mama, bhajasva mābhitaptasya prasādam kartum arhasi/ pariksiptā samudrena lankeyam śatayojanā, neyam dharsayitum śakyā sendrair api surāsuraih/ na devesu na yaksesu na gandharveşu narşişu, aham paśyāmi lokeşu yo me vīryasamo bhavet/ rājyabhraştena dīnena tāpasena gatāvusā, kim karisvasi rāmena mānusenālpatejasā/ bhajasva sīte mām eva bhartāham sadršas tava, yauvanam hy adhruyam bhīru ramasveha mayā saha/darśane mā krthā buddhim rāghayasya yarānane, kaassya śaktir ihāgantum api sīte manorathaiḥ/ na śakyo vāyur ākāśe pāśair baddham mahājavaḥ, dīpyamānasya vāpy agner grahītum vimalām śikhām/ trayānām api lokānām na tam paśyāmi śobhane, vikramena nayed yas tvām madbāhuparipālitām/ lankāyām sumahad rājyam idam tvam anupālaya, abhisekodakaklinnā tustā ca ramayasva mām/ duskrtam yat purā karma vanavāsena tad gatam, yaś ca te sukrto dharmas tasyeha phalam āpnuhi/ iha sarvāni mālyāni divyagandhāni maithili, bhūsanāni ca mukhyāni tāni seva mayā saha/ puṣpakam nāma suśroṇi bhrātur vaiśravaṇasya me, vimānam ramaṇīyam ca tad vimānam manojavam/ tatra sīte mayā sārdham viharasva yathāsukham, vadanam padmasamkāśam vimalam cārudarśanam/ śokārtam tu varārohe na bhrājati varānane, alam vrīdena vaidehi dharmalopa krtena te/ārso 'vam daivanisyando vas tvām abhigamisyati, etau pādau mavā snigdhau śirobhih paripīditau/ prasādam kuru me ksipram vaśvo dāso 'ham asmi te, nemāh śūnvā mavā vācaḥ śuṣyamāṇena bhāṣitāḥ/ na cāpi rāvaṇaḥ kām cin mūrdhnā strīm praṇameta ha, evam uktvā daśagrīvo maithilīm janakātmajām, krtāntavaśam āpanno mameyam iti manyate/

Having been puffed up and complemented by eight naramaamsa bhaksha Maha Rakshaas, Ravana entered the luxurious 'antahpura' or the Queen Palace. Devi Sita at that time was surrounded by the rakshasis as appointed by Ravana and was crying away in fits and starts like a sinking yet floating boat in the sea by the force of fierce and strong winds. She was then like a 'harini' or a female deer surrounded by hunting dogs at that time. Then he ushered her, albiet compulsively to tour around the 'rani vaasa' akin to his 'puja griha' the worship place. The pillars in the raani vaasa were made of e ivory, pure gold, silver, and precious stones viz. diamonds, pearls, sapphires, corals, rubies, gomedha and vaidurya. In the 'antahpura'

are the low sounds of dundhibhis, and Ravana then showed a strange pedestal led by stairs. He made her seat on a cusioned comfort on which Devi Sita did rather awkwarldly on its edge with nervousness. Having shown the niceties and luxuries of the antahpura, Ravana addressed Devi Sita as follows: 'Site! Under my authority, there are crores of rakshasaas get their livelihood including the old and the children. Under my personal service I have a thousand fierce rakshasa attendants. Vishala lochane! My entire kingdom rests at your tender feet; yad idam rājyatantram me tvayi sarvam pratisthitam, jīvitam ca viśālākṣi tvam me prāṇair garīyasī/I am obsessed with your personality and am devoted to you with my 'praana' the vital energy. Sita Devi! I have a harem of countless sundaris or paragons of beauty and grace at the nod of my head. Priye! Do consent to become my life partner. I am a tortured Soul awaiting your hidden smile and be compassionate to me. You may like to realise that this kingdom under my control is of hundred yojanas and even Devas headed by Indra would not dare to defy me, leave alone yakshagandharvas and renowned Maharshis. rājyabhrastena dīnena tāpasena gatāyuşā, kim karişyasi rāmena mānuṣeṇālpatejasā/ bhajasva sīte mām eva bhartāham sadṛśas tava, yauvanam hy adhruvam bhīru ramasveha mayā saha/ Rama is a 'rajya bhrashta' banished to eke out life in forests; he is miserable, tapasvi, a walking human, and in all an aimless vagabond. Of what avail is he anyway! You do accept my as I am a fitting and appropriate husband for you. Please leave this ill desreved concern for that dejected and ever depressed human being. Enjoy your youthful life with this strong hero. I could forfestal and tie up strongest winds into bundles. I could hold devouring flames in my fist. You could never spot in Tri Lokas a better choice of a husnand like me! You could reign over this entire 'saamrajya' and I should be at your service always. Your bad days of forest life and the enormity of tribulations should be terminated forthwith, once you give your nod of head. Mithileshwari! As you remain with me as your life's partner you would enjoy your food, ornaments and luxuries of living. Do you realise that the Sun glow like pushpaka vimana belonged to my brother Kubera the seat of wealth which was forcefully seized by me and that would be at your disposal. Varaaroha sumukhi! Your face is like a placid lotus flower which should never be spoilt with incessant cryings. As Ravana was talking away rubbhish, Devi Sita got further agitated and while the intensity of her mental suffering got furthered, she veiled her face and intensified her interior thoughts about the stage of Rama's mental condition of his seperation from her. Imaah shunyaa mayaa vaachah shushyamaanena bhaashitaah, na chaapi Ravanah kaanchin murthaa streem pranameti ha/ Ravana further continued emphatically to Sita that she should not please conclude that what all he was patiently explaining was not out of lust for her but no understand that a personality of the stature of his would never kneel down at her feet! Evam uktvā daśagrīvo maithilīm janakātmajām, kṛtāntavaśam āpanno mameyam iti manyate/ Ravana thus felt satisfied that Devi Sita had indeed got converted in her mental frame gradually!

Sarga Fifty Six

Having suffered Ravana's entreaties, Sita intensified her thoughts on Shri Rama and praised him while angry Ravana instructed rakshasis to take Sita away to Ashoka Vatika and frieghten her to surrender

Sā tathoktā tu vaidehī nirbhayā śokakarṣitā, tṛṇam antarataḥ kṛtvā rāvaṇam pratyabhāṣata/ rājā daśaratho nāma dharmasetur ivācalaḥ, satyasandhaḥ parijñāto yasya putraḥ sa rāghavaḥ/ rāmo nāma sa dharmātmā triṣu lokeṣu viśrutaḥ, dīrghabāhur viśālākṣo daivatam sa patir mama/ ikṣvākūṇām kule jātaḥ simhaskandho mahādyutiḥ, lakṣmaṇena saha bhrātrā yas te prāṇām hariṣyati/ pratyakṣam yady aham tasya tvayā syām dharṣitā balāt, śayitā tvam hataḥ samkhye janasthāne yathā kharaḥ/ ya ete rākṣasāḥ proktā ghorarūpā mahābalāḥ, rāghave nirviṣāḥ sarve suparṇe pannagā yathā/ tasya jyāvipramuktās te śarāḥ kāñcanabhūṣaṇāḥ, śarīram vidhamiṣyanti gaṅgākūlam ivormayaḥ/ asurair vā surair vā tvam yady

avadho 'si rāvana, utpādya sumahad vairam jīvams tasya na moksyase/ sa te jīvitasesasya rāghavo 'ntakaro balī, paśor yūpagatasyeva jīvitaṁ tava durlabham/ yadi paśyet sa rāmas tvāṁ rosadīptena cakṣuṣā, rakṣas tvam adya nirdagdho gaccheḥ sadyaḥ parābhavam/ yaś candram nabhaso bhūmau pātayen nāśayeta vā, sāgaram śoṣayed vāpi sa sītām mocayed iha/ gatāyus tvam gataśrīko gatasattvo gatendriyah, lankā vaidhavvasamvuktā tvatkrtena bhavisyati/ na te pāpam idam karma sukhodarkam bhavişyati, yāham nītā vinā bhāvam patipārśvāt tvayā vanāt/ sa hi daivatasamyukto mama bhartā mahādyutiḥ, nirbhayo vīryam āśritya śūnye vasati daṇḍake/ sa te darpam balam vīryam utsekam ca tathāvidham, apanesvati gātrebhyah śaravarsena samyuge/ yadā vināśo bhūtānām drśvate kālacoditah,tadā kārye pramādyanti narāh kālavasam gatāh/ mām pradhrsya sa te kālah prāpto 'yam raksasādhama, ātmano rāksasānām ca vadhāyāntahpurasya ca/ na śakyā yajñamadhyasthā vedih srugbhānda manditā, dvijātimantrasampūtā candālenāvamarditum/idam sarīram nihsamjñam bandha vā ghātayasva vā, nedam śarīram raksyam me jīvitam vāpi rāksasa, na hi śaksyāmy upakrośam pṛthivyām dātum ātmanah/ evam uktvā tu vaidehī kroddhāt suparuṣam vacah, rāvaṇam maithilī tatra punar novāca kim cana/ sītāyā vacanam śrutvā paruṣam romaharṣaṇam, pratyuvāca tataḥ sītām bhayasamdarśanam vacah/ śrnu maithili madvākvam māsān dvādaśa bhāmini, kālenānena nābhvesi vadi mām cāruhāsini, tatas tvām prātarāśārtham sūdāś chetsyanti leśaśah/ity uktvā paruṣam vākyam rāvaṇaḥ śatrurāvaṇaḥ, rākṣasīś ca tataḥ kruddha idam vacanam abravīt/ śīghram evam hi rākṣasyo vikṛtā ghoradarśanāḥ, darpam asyā vinesyantu māmsaśonitabhojanāh/ vacanād eva tās tasya vikrtā ghoradarśanāh, kṛtaprāñjalayo bhūtvā maithilīm paryavārayan/ sa tāh provāca rājā tu rāvano ghoradarśanah, pracālya caranotkarşair dārayann iva medinīm/ aśokavanikāmadhye maithilī nīyatām iti, tatreyam rakṣyatām gūḍham uṣmābhiḥ parivāritā/ tatrainām tarjanair ghoraiḥ punaḥ sāntvaiś ca maithilīm, ānayadhvam vaśam sarvā vanyām gajavadhūm iva/ iti pratisamādiṣṭā rākṣasyo rāvaṇena tāḥ, aśokavanikām jagmur maithilīm parigrhya tām/ sarvakāmaphalair vrksair nānāpuspaphalair vrtām, sarvakālamadaiś cāpi dvijaih samupasevitām/ sā tu śokaparītāngī maithilī janakātmajā, rāksasī vašam āpannā vyāghrīnām harinī yathā/ na vindate tatra tu śarma maithilī; virūpanetrābhir atīva tarjitā, patim smarantī dayitam ca devaram; vicetanābhūd bhayaśokapīditā/

While Rayana felt that Devi Sita got somewhat reconciled to marry her, the latter twisted her lips and firmly and even fearlessly replied. 'King Dasharatha was like a firm bridge on the ocean flows of Dharma and known for his 'Satya Pratigina' or a solid vow of Thuthfulness. Now his able son Shri Rama is a worshipworthy Devata of a grand physical stature and menta resolve. Born in the illustrious family lineage of Ikshvaaku, Rama with his high and powerful shoulders he is a purusha simha or a man-lion and together with his follower brother Lakshmana ought to undoubtedly uproot you, your saamraajya and the generation. If you think that you have successfully kidnapped me, then you too should receive the same fate as your brother Khara. You had mentioned of your strength and backing of the cruelmost Raakshasa Veeras but once they encounter Shri Rama, their poison would be drenched out like Maha Garuda facing hissing cobras. Like the forceful waves of Ganga flush out your body ornamenents, Rama 'dhanush baanaas' would turn your physical parts to pieces. Ravana! You might brag that neither asuras nor devataas could face your valor, but rest assured that Rama's arrows would destroy you certainly as your enemity with Rama should seal your fate as the rest of your life should get terminated soon like of yagina pashu tied to a pole awaiting sacrifice. Rakshasa! Even if Rama were to twist his angry looks on you then like Bhagavan Shankara ashed down Manmatha's body, you too have similar fate. yaś candram nabhaso bhūmau pātayen nāśayeta vā, sāgaram śosayed vāpi sa sītām mocayed iha/ gatāyus tvam gataśrīko gatasattvo gatendriyah, lankā vaidhavyasamyuktā tvatkṛtena bhaviṣyati/ Rest assured that Bhagavan Rama once arrives here to relieve Sita from shackles, even if chandra falls down to earth or oceans get dried up, I should be releived and the kingdom of Lanka should be widowed. Your sinfulness now to separate me from Rama would soon end up in your sleepness nights. Remember that I have lived so far in peace and contentment in dandakaranya safely with the confidence in the courage of my husband and brother in law. They ought to arrrive here soon and make a fitting assessment of your valour, mental agility and fate to dig up deep in your skin with sharp arrows. yadā vināśo bhūtānāṁ dṛśyate kālacoditah,tadā kārve pramādvanti narāh kālavaśam gatāh/ As and when the kaala chakra revolves and

points out one's 'vinaasha' the tragic end, then each and every Being in Creation gets hooked to a crashing iron nail to slow down and to a crash. Despicable Nishachara! Kaaala the Mrityu prompted your inner ego to kidnap me and lead you to a screeching halt to terminate you and your empire Do you not realise that on a Yagina Vedika, which the dwijas by means of mantras purify the shruk-shruva- yagina patras etc. and a chandala is prohibited to drag his feet and impurify the area; like wise I am the purified dharma patni of Shri Rama wedded strongly to the principles of' 'paativratya' and chandala like you could even touch me. Be it made clear, 'neecha rakshasa', even this body of mine impurified by your touch could as well be destroyed and sacrificed in flames; but could never ever be surrendered to you!' As Devi Sita responded haughtily and screeningly, Ravana had rather softly: śrnu maithili madvākyam māsān dvādaśa bhāmini, kālenānena nābhyesi yadi mām cāruhāsini, tatas tvām prātarāśārtham sūdāś chetsvanti leśaśah/ 'Oh, haasya bhamini! Mithileshwari! Your humorous action does impress your way of dodging me. But mind you, I am granting you adequate notice period of twelve months and in case to do still me weakened your psyche, then I should take you to the royal kitchen and mince your body to pieces!'Then Rayana shouted yelling to the surroundig rakshasis: śīghram evam hi rāksasvo yikrtā ghoradarśanāh, darpam asvā vinesvantu māmsaśonitabhojanāh/ You ferocius blood sucking flesh swallowing Maha Rakshasis! You better bring down the ego and arrogance of this woman soon! Then having moved forward by a few steps, returned and shouted: 'You better take her away and shift to 'Ashoka vaatika'. Then Devi Sita got unnerved with fright and misery, fell down to earth crawling and crying remembering Rama Lakshmanas out of desperation and extreme depression, even as the ferocius Rakshasis forcibly dragged her to Ashoka vaatika.

Sarga Fifty Seven

Shri Rama having killed Maareecha returns while noticing bad omens gets concerned about Devi Sita

Rākṣasam mṛgarūpeṇa carantam kāmarūpiṇam, nihatya rāmo mārīcam tūrṇam pathi nyavartat/ tasya samtvaramāṇasya draṣṭukāmasya maithilīm, krūrasvaro 'tha gomāyur vinanādāsya pṛṣṭhataḥ/ sa tasya svaram ājñāya dāruṇam romaharṣaṇam, cintayām āsa gomāyoh svareṇa pariśankitah/ aśubham bata manye 'ham gomāyur vāśyate yathā, svasti syād api vaidehyā rākṣasair bhakṣaṇam vinā/ mārīcena tu vijñāya svaram ālakṣya māmakam, vikruṣṭam mṛgarūpeṇa lakṣmaṇaḥ śṛṇuyād yadi/ sa saumitriḥ svaram śrutvā tām ca hitvātha maithilīm, tayaiva prahitah ksipram matsakāśam ihaisyati/ rāksasaih sahitair nūnam sītāyā īpsito vadhah, kāñcanaś ca mrgo bhūtyā vyapanīyāśramāt tu mām dūram nītyā tu mārīco rāksaso 'bhūc charāhatah, hā laksmana hato 'smīti yad vākyam vyajahāra ha/ api svasti bhaved dvābhyām rahitābhyām mayā vane, janasthānanimittam hi kṛtavairo 'smi rāksasaih, nimittāni ca ghorāni drśyante 'dya bahūni ca/ ity evam cintayan rāmah śrutvā gomāyunihsvanam, ātmanaś cāpanayanam mṛgarūpeṇa rakṣasā,ājagāma janasthānam rāghavah pariśankitah/ tam dīnamānasam dīnam āsedur mṛgapakṣiṇaḥ, savyam kṛtvā mahātmānam ghorāms ca sasṛjuḥ svarān/ tāni dṛṣṭvā nimittāni mahāghorāni rāghavah, tato laksanam āvāntam dadarša vigataprabham/ tato 'vidūre rāmena samīyāya sa lakşmanah, vişannah sa vişannena duhkhito duhkhabhāginā/ samjagarhe 'tha tam bhrātā jeştho lakṣmaṇam āgatam, vihāya sītām vijane vane rākṣasasevite/ grhītvā ca karam savyam lakṣmaṇam raghunandanah, uvāca madhurodarkam idam parusam ārtavat/ aho laksmana garhyam te kṛtam yat tvam vihāya tām, sītām ihāgatah saumya kaccit svasti bhaved iti/ na me 'sti samsayo vīra sarvathā janakātmajā, vinastā bhaksitā vāpa rāksasair vanacāribhih/ aśubhāny eva bhūvistham yathā prādurbhavanti me, api lakṣmaṇa sītāyāḥ sāmagryam prāpnuyāvahe/ idam hi rakṣomṛgasamnikāśam; pralobhya mām dūram anuprayātam, hatam katham cin mahatā śrameṇa; sa rākṣaso 'bhūn mriyamāṇa eva/ manaś ca me dīnam ihāprahṛṣṭam; cakṣuś ca savyam kurute vikāram, asamśayam lakṣmaṇa nāsti sītā; hṛtā mṛtā vā pathi vartate vā/

Having killed Rakasha Maareecha who appeared like a Maya Mriga, Shri Rama wished to return back to Panchavati his ashram. Then a loud sneeze was heard behind perhaps by an owl and Rama felt that it was a bad omen. He was terribly worried that perhaps left Devi Sita alone as he heard the thunderous

reverberation of his own false 'artanaada' made by Mareecha stating ' haa Lakshmana, haa Sita I am killed'.[Bad omens are loud sneezes, recall back from journeys, facing dry grass, cowdung, lunatic, chandala, a widow, ashes, bones, fall of umbrella on one's head and such as per Agni Purana]. Rama got worried whether Lakshmana and Devi Sita heard the false 'artanaadaas' by Maareecha in the form of the strange Maya Mriga as enamoured by Sita. Then Rama hurried back to the ashram. tato 'vidūre rāmena samīyāya sa lakṣmaṇaḥ, viṣaṇṇaḥ sa viṣaṇṇena duḥkhito duḥkhabhāginā/ samjagarhe 'tha tam bhrātā jestho lakṣmaṇam āgatam, vihāya sītām vijane vane rākṣasasevite/Even then Rama found that Lakshmana too was hurrying up running towards him and met him terribly worried and agitated as Devi Sita was left lonely! He caught of Lashmana by his shoulder and shouted at once but subsequently stated: aho lakşmana garhyam te krtam yat tvam vihāya tām, sītām ihāgatah saumya kaccit svasti bhaved iti/ na me 'sti samsayo vīra sarvathā janakātmajā, vinastā bhaksitā vāpa rāksasair vanacāribhih/ Aho Lakshmana! You have made a grave blunder and left Sita alone; trust she is safe!! Veera Lakshmana! I am shaken to the core as the wicked Rakshasaas might have hurt and even swallowed up Devi Sita!! aśubhāny eva bhūyiṣṭham yathā prādurbhavanti me, api lakṣmaṇa sītāyāḥ sāmagryam prāpnuyāvahe/Lakshmana! I have just encountered very bad omens; would we be able to ever find back the beloved Janaka nandini Sita totally 'svaastyhya-sakushala' or safe and sound! Mahabali Lakskmana! This crowd of animals running amock from right to left and wild owls screeching away in groups helter skelter should cause great concern down my spine; are these not definite evil omens! We hope against hope that Sita is secure! manaś ca me dīnam ihāprahṛstam; caksuś ca savyam kurute vikāram, asamsayam laksmana nāsti sītā; hrtā mrtā vā pathi vartate vā/ Lakshmana! My mind and thoughts are in alarmed to my bottoms as my left eyes are flapping with rapidity and my inner self is confirming that Devi Sita had disppeared from the ashram either by kidnap or eaten away by Rakshasaas!

Sarga Fifty Eight

On a run back to the Ashram, Rama Lakshmanas were subject to innumerable kinds of doubts and reaching there were not able to see Devi Sita and got stunned and terrified

Sa drstvā laksmanam dīnam sūnye daśarathātmajaḥ, paryaprcchata dharmātmā vaidehīm āgatam vinā/ prasthitam daṇḍakāraṇyam yā mām anujagāma ha, kva sā lakṣmaṇa vaidehī yām hitvā tvam ihāgataḥ/ rājyabhrastasya dīnasya dandakān paridhāvatah, kva sā duhkhasahāyā me vaidehī tanumadhyamā/ yām vinā notsahe vīra muhūrtam api jīvitum, kva sā prāṇasahāyā me sītā surasutopamā/ patitvam amarāṇām vā prthivyās cāpi laksmana, vinā tām tapanīyābhām neccheyam janakātmajām/ kaccij jīvati vaidehī prānaih priyatarā mama, kaccit pravrājanam saumya na me mithyā bhavisyati/ sītānimittam saumitre mṛte mayi gate tvayi, kaccit sakāmā sukhitā kaikeyī sā bhaviṣyati/ saputrarājyām siddhārthām mṛtaputrā tapasvinī, upasthāsyati kausalyā kaccin saumya na kaikayīm/ yadi jīvati vaidehī gamiṣyāmy āśramam punaḥ, suvṛttā yadi vṛttā sā prāṇāms tyakṣyāmi lakṣmaṇa/ yadi mām āśramagatam vaidehī nābhibhāṣate, punah prahasitā sītā vinaśisvāmi laksmana/ brūhi laksmana vaidehī vadi jīvati vā na vā, tvavi pramatte rakşobhir bhakşitā vā tapasvinī/ sukumārī ca bālā ca nityam cāduḥkhadarśinī, madviyogena vaidehī vyaktam śocati durmanāḥ/ sarvathā rakṣasā tena jihmena sudurātmanā, vadatā lakṣmaṇety uccais tavāpi janitam bhayama/ śrutaś ca śanke vaidehyā sa svarah sadrśo mama, trastayā presitas tvam ca drastum mām śīghram āgataḥ/sarvathā tu kṛtam kaṣṭam sītām utsrjatā vane, pratikartum nṛśamsānām rakṣasām dattam antaram/ duḥkhitāḥ kharaghātena rākṣasāḥ piśitāśanāḥ, taiḥ sītā nihatā ghorair bhaviṣyati na samśayah/ aho 'smi vyasane magnah sarvathā ripunāśana, kim tv idānīm karisyāmi śanke prāptavyam īdṛśam/ iti sītām varārohām cintayann eva rāghavaḥ,ājagāma janasthānam tvarayā sahalakṣmaṇaḥ/ vigarhamāņo 'nujam ārtarūpam; kṣudhā śramāc caiva pipāsayā ca, viniḥśvasañ śuṣkamukho viṣaṇṇaḥ; pratiśrayam prāpya samīkṣya śūnyam/ svam āśramam sampravigāhya vīro; vihāradeśān anusṛtya kāmś cit, etat tad ity eva nivāsabhūmau; prahṛstaromā vyathito babhūva/

Rama asked Lakshmana: Where indeed is Devi Sita who left Ayodhya and accompanied me to dandadakaranya at this time. As I was thrown out of the Kingdom and am aimlessly moving about, she

extended my complete solace and had been my source of strengh all along but where is now. I would not be able to survive this shock as my 'saha dharma chaarini' who is my celestial angel if not visible now, what should happen to me! Lakshmana! In case my molten gold like Janaka nandini is not visible, who cares for universal emporership and heavenly Indratva! Veera! would videha rajakumari my dearest darling Sita be suriving now. If she were not to survive now, could Rama live any further and if both of us are non existent, then you would have to return to Ayodydha and then mother Kaikeyi might continue to be happy and contented. As I the only son named Rama were not to survive the shock of Sita's absence, should not my mother be Kaikeyi's slave and suffer thereafter! yadi jīvati vaidehī gamisyāmy āśramam punaḥ, suvṛttā yadi vṛttā sā prāṇāms tyakṣyāmi lakṣmaṇa/ yadi mām āśramagatam vaidehī nābhibhāṣate, punah prahasitā sītā vinaśisyāmi laksmana/ Lakshmana! I resolve to enter the ashram only in case Vaidehi Sita were alive and if her demise is confirmed, then I need not have to survive. Tell me dear brother, is she alive or not! Most certainly she ought be crying away for me in case she were alive. The most obnoxius rakshasa Maareecha yelled 'Oh Laksmnana, oh Sita' and obviously she was rattled and pressurised you to leave her. Sarvathaa tu kritam kashtam Sitaamumutsrujataa vane, pratikartum nrushamsaanaam rakshasaam dattamantaram/ In any case, your leaving Sita alone had caused the impact and the cruel rakshasaas must have mercilessly killed Sita undoubtedly. Shatru naashana Lakshmana, now I am drowned in a sea at this testing time! Indeed, in this hopeless situation what is it that I could do!' Having thus stated Rama Lakishmanas entered with a ray of hope but Devi Sita was not present therein. Both the brothers were bewildered and lost their consciousness for some time!

Sarga Fifty Nine

Rama Lakshmans recalled the events before the latter left for Rama at the false shouts of the dying Maareesha and Rama was truly upset by Lakshmana's grave indescretion

Aāśramād upāvṛttam antarā raghunandanaḥ, paripapraccha saumitrim rāmo duḥkhārditaḥ punaḥ/ tam uvāca kimartham tvam āgato 'pāsya maithilīm, yadā sā tava viśvāsād vane viharitā mayā/ drstvaivābhyāgatam tvām me maithilīm tyajya laksmaņa, śankamānam mahat pāpam yat satyam vyathitam manah/ sphurate nayanam savyam bāhuś ca hṛdayam ca me, dṛṣṭvā lakṣmaṇa dūre tvām sītāvirahitam pathi/ evam uktas tu saumitrir lakṣmaṇaḥ śubhalakṣaṇaḥ, bhūyo duḥkhasamāviṣṭo duhkhitam rāmam abravīt/ na svayam kāmakārena tām tyaktvāham ihāgatah, pracoditas tayaivograis tvatsakāśam ihāgatah/āryeneva parikrustam hā sīte laksmaneti ca, paritrāhīti vad vākvam maithilvās tac chrutim gatam/ sā tam ārtasvaram śrutvā tava snehena maithilī, gaccha gaccheti mām āha rudantī bhayavihvalā/ pracodyamānena mayā gaccheti bahuśas tayā, pratyuktā maithilī vākyam idam tvatpratyayānvitam/ na tat paśyāmy aham rakşo yad asya bhayam āvahet, nirvṛtā bhava nāsty etat kenāpy evam udāhrtam/ vigarhitam ca nīcam ca katham āryo 'bhidhāsyati, trāhīti vacanam sīte yas trāyet tridaśān api/kimnimittam tu kenāpi bhrātur ālambya me svaram, visvaram vyāhṛtam vākyam lakṣmaṇa trāhi mām iti, na bhavatyā vyathā kāryā kunārījanasevitā/ alam vaiklavyam ālambya svasthā bhava nirutsukā, na cāsti trisu lokesu pumān yo rāghavam raņe, jāto vā jāyamāno vā samyuge yaḥ parājayet/ evam uktā tu vaidehī parimohitacetanā, uvācāśrūņi muñcantī dāruņam mām idam vacaļ/bhāvo mayi tavātyartham pāpa eva niveśitah, vinaste bhrātari prāpte na ca tvam mām avāpsyasi/ samketād bharatena tvam rāmam samanugacchasi, krośantam hi yathātyartham nainam abhyavapadyase/ ripuh pracchannacārī tvam madartham anugacchasi, rāghavasyāntaraprepsus tathainam nābhipadyase/ evam ukto hi vaidehyā samrabdho raktalocanaḥ, krodhāt prasphuramāṇauṣṭha āśramād abhinirgataḥ/ evam bruvāṇam saumitrim rāmah samtāpamohitah, abravīd duṣkṛtam saumya tām vinā yat tvam āgatah/ jānann api samartham mām rakṣasām vinivāraņe, anena krodhavākyena maithilyā niḥsṛto bhavān/ na hi te parituşyāmi tyaktvā yad yāsi maithilīm, kruddhāyāḥ paruṣam śrutvā striyā yat tvam ihāgataḥ/ sarvathā tv apanītam te sītayā yat pracoditah, krodhasya vaśam āgamya nākaroh śāsanam mama/ asau hi rāksasah sete sarenābhihato mayā, mṛgarūpena yenāham āsramād apavāditah/ vikṛsya cāpam paridhāya sāyakam; salīla bāṇena ca tāḍito mayā, mārgīm tanum tyajya ca viklavasvaro; babhūva keyūradharaḥ sa

rākṣasaḥ/śarāhatenaiva tadārtayā girā; svaram mamālambya sudūrasamśravam, udāhṛtam tad vacanam sudāruṇam; tvam āgato yena vihāya maithilīm/

On way to the panchavati ashram itself, Rama Lakskmanas were reviewing the previous happenings. Rama asked Lakshmana cryingly: Lakshmana! Are you sure that when you left for me, Sita was alone, but why did you leave her alone! Even as you must have been leaving Sita alone, I started experiencing bad omens and started realising the forewarnings. My left eye flaps were trembling and the left shoulder too. As you might have been leaving Sita alone, my heart beat was faltering. Then Lakshmana said: brother! I was not ready to leave on my own, but Devi Sita pressurised me with all types of very harsh and cruel words, and with extreme patience I maintained silence but certain acute and very upsetting words of hers had literally forced me to leave most reluctantly. The false and desperaate shoutings of Mareecha were no doubt recognised by me and explained to Sita but she was too desperate as she was trembling with fear and inexplicable anxiety and begged of me to leave the spot. Even so I made my earnest appeal to her and clarified: na tat paśyāmy aham rakşo yad asya bhayam āvahet, nirvṛtā bhava nāsty etat kenāpy evam udāhrtam/ vigarhitam ca nīcam ca katham āryo 'bhidhāsyati, trāhīti vacanam sīte yas trāyet tridaśān api/'Devi! In my entire life time and experience, I had never faced any Rakshasa whom Rama could have got jitters about with fear and timidity. Kindly be peaceful and totally reject the falsity and apprehension of Rama encountering a risk of his life. This voice of desperation was most ceratainly not that of Rama and could a personality of his stature who could save Devatas from most criticall and dangerous crises ever get down to the meanest level of repeatedly shouting for help so timidly!' 'Rama! I had even explaned Devi Sita further: Raakshaseneritam vaakyam traasaat traaheeti Shobhane, na bhavyathaa kaaryaam kunaaree jana sevitaa/ Shobhane! That Rakshasa out of sheer fright of your arrows and distess of facing death should have yelled and this should not be a cause of concern for a famed lady of your stature and thus ignore the shout as dismissed. Rama! I pacified Devi Sita further: Alam viplavataam gantum swasthyaa bhava nitrutsukaa, na chaasti trishu loleshu pumaan yo Raghavam rane/ Jaatovaa jaayamaanol vaa samyuge yah paraajayet,ajeyo Raghavo yuddhe Devaih Shakra purogamaih/ I appealed to Devi Sita not to get flustered but keep her cool and self controlled without agitation and assured her that in trilokas no personality of his stature and bravery was ever born yet who could encounter Raghu Rama; even Lord Indra and any other devas would acceed to that reality. Even so, Shri Rama! Devi Sita took to extreme accusations against me: bhāvo mayi tavātyartham pāpa eva niveśitah, vinaste bhrātari prāpte na ca tvam mām avāpsyasi/ samketād bharatena tvam rāmam samanugacchasi, krośantam hi yathātyartham nainam abhyavapadyase/ ripuh pracchannacārī tvam madartham anugacchasi, rāghavasyāntaraprepsus tathainam nābhipadyase/ 'Lakshmana! It appears that in your interior feelings, you appear to have retained sinful and evil designs on me! You seem to be planning that at the death of your brother, you have a nasty feeling to secure me! But that should never be. Out of your jealousy for Bharata, you are pretentious and keep following Shri Rama. Rama is crying hard for your help, screening by your own name which you are deaf all about. You are a secretive enemy of your brother. That is why you seem to await an opportunity of Rama's critical time and thus avoiding to help him at the apt situation like this'. 'Dearmost brother! As Vaidehakumari insinuated me thus, I was accused of my feigned sincerity and opportunism, I was hurt to the core, my looks were reddened and lips were quivering and in that critical stage of sub consciousness, I was forced to leave the ashram'. But Rama's reaction was still not convincing; he told Lakshmana: na hi te paritusyāmi tyaktvā yad yāsi maithilīm, kruddhāyāh parusam śrutvā striyā yat tvam ihāgatah/ sarvathā tv apanītam te sītayā yat pracoditah, krodhasya vasam āgamya nākaroh sāsanam mama/ Lakshmana! You became a victim of an angry and extremely agitated woman and over crossed my strict instruction which has proved to be an avoidable disaster now and am amazed at your indescretion which is truly unpardonable and never expected of you. śarāhatenaiva tadārtayā girā; svaram mamālambya sudūrasamsravam, udāhrtam tad vacanam sudārunam; tvam āgato vena vihāya maithilīm/ As my arrows decimated the Rakshasa, and his false shouts and screams imitating my voice were heard, you left Sita alone despite my strict instructions!

Sarga Sixty

Shri Rama's deep distress at Devi Sita's disappearance- desperate search for her even addressing animals and vegetation around the ashram in frustration.

Bhṛśam āvrajamānasya tasyādhovāmalocanam, prāsphurac cāskhalad rāmo vepathuś cāsya jāyate/ upālaksya nimittāni so 'subhāni muhur muhuh, api kṣemam tu sītāyā iti vai vyājahāra ha/ tvaramāno jagāmātha sītādarśanalālasaḥ, śūnyam āvasatham dṛṣṭvā babhūvodvignamānasaḥ/ udbhramann iva vegena viksipan raghunandanah, tatra tatrotajasthānam abhivīksva samantatah/ dadarśa parnaśālām ca rahitām sītavā tadā, śriyā virahitām dhvastām hemante padminīm iva/rudantam iva vrksaiś ca mlānapuspamṛgadvijam, śriyā vihīnam vidhvastam samtyaktavanadaivatam/ viprakīrnājinakuśam vipraviddhabṛsīkatam, dṛṣtvā śūnyotajasthānam vilalāpa punah punah/ hṛtā mṛtā vā nastā vā bhaksitā vā bhavisyati, nilīnāpy atha vā bhīrur atha vā vanam āśritāa/ gatā vicetum puspāni phalāny api ca vā punah, atha vā padminīm yātā jalārtham vā nadīm gatā/ yatnān mṛgayamāṇas tu nāsasāda vane priyām, śokaraktekṣaṇaḥ śokād unmatta iva lakṣyate/ vṛkṣād vṛkṣam pradhāvan sa girīmś cāpi nadīn nadīm, babhūva vilapan rāmah śokapankārnavaplutah/asti kaccit tvavā drstā sā kadambaprivā privā, kadamba yadi jānīṣe śaṃsa sītāṃ śubhānanām/nigdhapallavasaṃkāśāṃ pītakauśeyavāsinīm, śaṃsasva yadi vā dṛṣṭā bilva bilvopamastanī/ atha vārjuna śaṁsa tvaṁ priyāṁ tām arjunapriyām, janakasya sutā bhīrur yadi jīvati vā na vā/ kakubhah kakubhorum tām vyaktam jānāti maithilīm, latāpallavapuspādhyo bhāti hy esa vanaspatih/bhramarair upagītaś ca yathā drumavaro hy ayam, esa vyaktam vijānāti tilakas tilakapriyām/ aśokaśokāpanuda śokopahatacetasam, tvannāmānam kuru kṣipram priyāsamdarśanena mām/ yadi tāla tvavā drstā pakvatālaphalastanī,kathavasva varārohām kārusvam vadi te mavi/ vadi drstā tvayā sītā jambujāmbūnadaprabhā, priyām yadi vijānīṣe niḥśankam kathayasva me/ atha vā mrgaśāvāksīm mrga jānāsi maithilīm, mrgavipreksanī kāntā mrgībhih sahitā bhavet/ gaja sā gajanāsorur yadi dṛstā tvayā bhavet, tām manye viditām tubhyam ākhyāhi varavārana/ śārdūla yadi sā dṛstā priyā candranibhānanā, maithilī mama visrabdhah kathayasva na te bhayam/ kim dhāvasi priye nūnam drstāsi kamaleksane, vrksenācchādya cātmānam kim mām na pratibhāsase/ tistha tistha varārohe na te 'sti karunā mayi, nātyartham hāsyaśīlāsi kimartham mām upekṣase/ pītakauśeyakenāsi sūcitā varavarnini, dhāvanty api mavā drstā tistha vady asti sauhrdam/ naiva sā nūnam atha vā himsitā cāruhāsinī, krechram prāptam hi mām nūnam yathopeksitum arhati/ vyaktam sā bhaksitā bālā rāksasaih piśitāśanaih, vibhajyāngāni sarvāṇi mayā virahitā priyā/ nūnam tac chubhadantauṣṭham mukham niṣprabhatām gatam, sā hi campakavarnābhā grīvā graiveya śobhitā/ komalā vilapantyās tu kāntāyā bhaksitā śubhā, nūnam viksipyamānau tau bāhū pallavakomalau/ bhaksitau vepamānāgrau sahastābharanāngadau, mayā virahitā bālā raksasām bhaksanāya vai/ sārtheneva parityaktā bhaksitā bahubāndhavā, hā laksmana mahābāho paśyasi tvam priyām kva cit/ hā priye kva gatā bhadre hā sīteti punah punah, ity evam vilapan rāmah paridhāvan vanād vanam/ kva cid udbhramate vegāt kva cid vibhramate balāt, kva cin matta ivābhāti kāntān veṣaṇatatparaḥ/ sa vanāni nadīḥ śailān giriprasravaṇāni ca, kānanāni ca vegena bhramaty aparisamsthitah/tathā sa gatvā vipulam mahad vanam; parītya sarvam tv atha maithilīm prati, anisthitāśah sa cakāra mārgane; punah privāvāh paramam pariśramam/

As Sri Rama left the ashram in vaccum without Devi Sita, his left eyes flapped violently, and he came out totteringly and the huge question looming large on his mental screen was whether Sita was safe. He entered the ashram the trepidation and he was blank with confused silence. He started moving about haltingly now and with great speed of anxiety then with hands in restless shake. Again he looked up suddenly searching the nooks and corners. But the quiet Parnashala looked blank and soundless except the echos of his own voice. Just outside, he made a systematic search of each tree and surrounding bushes which were unclean and dusty and dilapidated. The 'mriga charmas' and heaps of kushagraas pieces added to the confusion and stage of helter skelter dirt and disorder. hṛtā mṛtā vā naṣṭā vā bhakṣitā vā bhaviṣyati, nilīnāpy atha vā bhīrur atha vā vanam āśritāa/ Rama exclaimed: Hai! Sita appears to have been kidnapped! Trust not that she was not subjected to Mrityu! Or lost her way! Or a rakshasa had eaten her away! Or gone to fectch a flower or a fruit or out of thirst left near a water body or a river. yatnān mrgayamāṇas tu nāsasāda vane priyām, śokaraktekṣaṇaḥ śokād unmatta iva lakṣyate/ vṛkṣād vṛkṣam

pradhāvan sa girīms cāpi nadīm, babhūva vilapan rāmah sokapankārnavaplutah/Shri Rama chandra with the strength of his all our efforts started then a systematic search in the forest gardens all around. Anxiously running around the groups of trees and bushes, mountains, rivers and their banks, Rama took to monologues: 'hey Kadamba! My beloved Sita is fond of your flowers; has she arrived here! have you seen her! She has soft skin, wears yellow colour sarees and is appropriatly scented! Bilva! My darling's breasts are soft yet firm; have you seen her! Arjuna tree! Devi Sita adores the intoxicating odour of your flowers; by chance have you seen her passing by. Kukubha! You are an illustrious vriksha raaja! That Devi Sita of my darling wife is like a female bee collecting honey from flower to flower; have you noticed! Alas! none of you trees, or fruits or flowrs is responding about my Sita's whereabouts! Tilaka vriksha, Sita is a ever fond of you as her 'vishala phaala' the broad forehead of hers is ever adorned.' Like wise the trees of jaamun-mango and such other trees of the forest nearby were searched again and again as the most illustrious Shri Rama the ever invincible and unique example of human incarnation of dharama and nyaya. The highly disturbed Rama who turned semi crazy had then crossed animals like elephants, tigers and deers as also vanya pakshis like parrots, cranes, crows and sky high garudas besides water borne swans all of which attracted the attraction and admiration of Devi Sita during her prolonged association of her forest life. Further, Rama in fits of imaginations broke down as a semi lunatic started chasing shadows of Devi Sita: tiṣṭha tiṣṭha varārohe na te 'sti karuṇā mayi, nātyartham hāsyaśīlāsi kimartham mām upeksase/ pītakauśeyakenāsi sūcitā varavarnini, dhāvanty api mayā dṛṣṭā tiṣṭha yady asti sauhṛdam/ 'Varaaroha Devi Sita! Please wait, wait! Don't you show me mercy. Your nature is ceratainly not to tease and tempt me as you are a mature female; then why are you runningaway from me! Sundari! I have certainly identified you wearing a fascinating yellow silk dress. As you are surely affectionate for me, I would not see you properly'. Then the half deranged Shri Rama stated: hā priye kva gatā bhadre hā sīteti punaḥ punaḥ, ity evam vilapan rāmaḥ paridhāvan vanād vanam/ kva cid udbhramate vegāt kva cid vibhramate balāt, kva cin matta ivābhāti kāntān vesanatatparah/ sa vanāni nadīh śailān giriprasravanāni ca, kānanāni ca vegena bhramaty aparisamsthitah/ Ha priye! Ha Bhadre! Ha Site! Where have you disappeared!' So shouting, Rama ran all over the forest, stopped over, ran again, crying and crying again and again!

Sarga Sixty One

Shri Rama and Lakshmanas got intensely frustrated with their extensive search for Devi Sita

Drstāśramapadam śūnyam rāmo daśarathātmajah, rahitām parnaśālām ca vidhvastāny āsanāni ca/ adrstvā tatra vaidehīm samnirīksya ca sarvašah,uvāca rāmah prākrušya pragrhya rucirau bhujau/ kva nu lakşmana vaidehī kam vā deśam ito gatā, kenāhṛtā vā saumitre bhakṣitā kena vā priyā/ vṛṣkeṇāvārya yadi mām sīte hasitum icchasi, alam te hasitenādya mām bhajasva suduḥkhitam/ yaiḥ saha krīḍase sīte viśvastair mṛgapotakaiḥ, ete hīnās tvayā saumye dhyāyanty asrāvilekṣaṇāḥ/ mṛtam śokena mahatā sītāharanajena mām, paraloke mahārājo nūnam draksvati me pitā/ katham pratijñām samsrutva mavā tvam abhiyojitah, apūravitvā tam kālam matsakāśam ihāgatah/ kāmavrttam anārvam mām mrsāvādinam eva ca, dhik tvām iti pare loke vyaktam vakṣyati me pitā/ vivaśam śokasamtaptam dīnam bhagnamanoratham, mām ihotsrjya karunam kīrtir naram ivānrjum/ kva gacchasi varārohe mām utsrjya sumadhyame, tvayā virahitas cāham moksye jīvitam ātmanah/ itīva vilapan rāmah sītādarsanalālasah, na dadarśa suduhkhārto rāghavo janakātmajām/ anāsādayamānam tam sītām daśarathātmajam, pankam āsādya vipulam sīdantam iva kuñjaram, lakṣmaṇo rāmam atyartham uvāca hitakāmyayā/ mā viṣādam mahābāho kuru yatnam mayā saha, idam ca hi vanam śūra bahukandaraśobhitam/ priyakānanasamcārā vanonmattā ca maithilī, sā vanam vā pravistā syān nalinīm vā supuspitām/ saritam vāpi samprāptā mīnavañjurasevitām, vitrāsayitukāmā vā līnā syāt kānane kva cit, jijñāsamānā vaidehī tvām mām ca purusarsabha/ tasyā hy anvesane śrīman ksipram eva yatāvahe, vanam sarvam vicinuvo yatra sā janakātmajā, manyase yadi kākutstha mā sma śoke manah krthāh/ evam uktas tu sauhārdāl laksmanena samāhitaḥ, saha saumitriṇā rāmo vicetum upacakrame, tau vanāni girīms caiva saritas ca sarāmsi ca/nikhilena vicinvantau sītām daśarathātmajau, tasya śailasya sānūni guhāś ca śikharāni ca/ nikhilena

vicinvantau naiva tām abhijagmatuḥ, vicitya sarvataḥ śailam rāmo lakṣmaṇam abravīt/ neha paśyāmi saumitre vaidehīm parvate śubhe, tato duḥkhābhisamtapto lakṣmaṇo vākyam abravīt/ vicaran daṇḍakāraṇyam bhrātaram dīptatejasam, prāpsyasi tvam mahāprājña maithilīm janakātmajām/ yathā viṣṇur mahābāhur balim baddhvā mahīm imām, evam uktas tu vīreṇa lakṣmaṇena sa rāghavaḥ/ uvāca dīnayā vācā duḥkhābhihatacetanaḥ, vanam sarvam suvicitam padminyaḥ phullapankajāḥ/ giriś cāyam mahāprājña bahukandaranirjharaḥ, na hi paśyāmi vaidehīm prāṇebhyo 'pi garīyasīm/ evam sa vilapan rāmaḥ sītāharaṇakarśitaḥ, dīnaḥ śokasamāviṣṭo muhūrtam vihvalo 'bhavat/ sa vihvalitasarvāngo gatabuddhir vicetanaḥ, viṣasādāturo dīno niḥśvasyāśītam āyatam/ bahuśaḥ sa tu niḥśvasya rāmo rājīvalocanaḥ, hā priyeti vicukrośa bahuśo bāṣpagadgadaḥ/ tam sāntvayām āsa tato lakṣmaṇaḥ priyabāndhavaḥ, bahuprakāram dharmajñaḥ praśritaḥ praśritāñjaliḥ/ anādṛtya tu tad vākyam lakṣmaṇauṣṭhapuṭacyutam, apaśyams tām priyām sītām prākrośat sa punaḥ punaḥ/

Intermittently addressing the patyakska Lakashmana and paroksha Sita, Shri Rama the fatigued had addressed: 'Dear Lakshmana! Where indeed is Videha Rajakumiri, to which place and kingdom has she disappeared right now! Had somebody taken her away forcefully! Who has kidnapped her! Or has some rakshasa eaten her away! Site! In case your are playing mischievous play with me, it is high time to appear before me at once. I am flustered and seriously agitated with any of your prank of hide and seek. You the self opinianated and moody Sundari, if you are as accustomed in the past several times playing with deers and such domesticated animals, you may padon me and appear before me at once as my eyes are tearful as never.Lakshmana! Sitaayaa rahitoham vai nahi jeevaami Lakshmana! mrtam śokena mahatā sītāharaṇajena mām, paraloke mahārājo nūnam drakṣyati me pitā/ katham pratijñām samśrutya mayā tvam abhiyojitah, apūrayitvā tam kālam matsakāśam ihāgatah/I would not be alive any further without the hope of Devi Sita's existence. I am srrrounded by the 'Sitaaharana janita shoka' or the extreme harassment of losing Sita and certainly as I reach the 'paraloka' or post existence of mine, King Dasharatha our revered father would resent my presence there scolding me to my premature end without fulfilling my 'pratigina' and obligation of completing 'vana vaasa' for fourteen years.! vivaśam śokasamtaptam dīnam bhagnamanoratham, mām ihotsrjya karuṇam kīrtir naram ivānrjum/ kva gacchasi varārohe mām utsrjva sumadhvame, tvavā virahitas cāham moksve jīvitam ātmanah/ Varaaroha Site! I am forlorn and desperate, pitiable and dejected as you have rejected me. Please do not leave me alone. In this state of consciousness, I should have to perform 'praana thyaga' or self immolation as Raghukula Nandana Shri Rama has no other alternative in the absence of Janana nandini Sita. Like a huge elephant is sunk in a deep marshy quagmire I am the absence of Janaka nandini!' Then Lakshmana sought to assuage Shri Rama's tormented psyche: mā visādam mahābāho kuru yatnam mayā saha, idam ca hi vanam sūra bahukandarasobhitam/ priyakānanasamcārā vanonmattā ca maithilī, sā vanam vā pravistā syān nalinīm vā supuspitām/ Mahamate Rama! Cry not timidly! We should and definitely would try our very best to locate Janaki Devi. Veeravara! Look at this high mountain with several caves. Mithileshwari Sita is fond of the play of hide and seek and might be freely moving among these or else she might have got enticed with the play of catching lotus flowers or enjoying herself on the cool banks of a sarovara attracted by jumping color ful fishes. For sure she is playing pranks with us. tasyā hy anveṣaṇe śrīman kṣipram eva yatāvahe, vanam sarvam vicinuvo yatra sā janakātmajā, manyase yadi kākutstha mā sma *śoke manah kṛthāh*/ In any case, we should search all the possible anternative places soon instead of brooding and wasting our time here. Raghunandana! In case, you feel as to what I have detailed, let us proceed.' Having thus resloved, Rama Lakasmaas tried their very best in exploring forests, mountains, lakes, and various water bodies and so on but in vain. But Lakshmana was still hopeful; he exclaimed: vicaran dandakāranyam bhrātaram dīptatejasam, prāpsyasi tvam mahāprājña maithilīm janakātmajām/ yathā viṣṇur mahābāhur balim baddhvā mahīm imām, evam uktas tu vīreṇa lakṣmaṇena sa rāghavaḥ/Mahamate Rama! Just as Maha Vishnu having incarnated as Vamana Deva tied down earth and accomplished trilokas, in the same manner, we ought to discover Mithileshwara Janaki.

[Vishleshana on Vamana Deva and Bali Charavarti for ready reference vide Essence of Valmiki Baala Ramayana:

As Vamana Deva arrived at the Yagna shaala, Bali welcomed him, offered 'Arghya', 'Aasana', Puja and offered him limitless gold, jewellery, elephants, horses, cows, women, clothes, bunches of villages or townships or whatever would be his wish! Vamana Deva replied smilingly: Mamagnisharanaarthaaya dehi Rajan Padatrayam, Suvarnagraamaratnaadi tadarthibhyah pradeeyataam/ (Raja! Please provide to me three feet of land to enable me to set up an Agni- Shaala). Bali said that after all three feet would be nothing as he could ask for a lakh of feet which could be given away, but Vamana Deva replied that he was indeed satisfied with that much of Bhumi and if the King were to offer more he might as well provide to the other needy! Bali Chakravarti readily agreed not understanding the implication and as the deed of Daana was being executed and Vamana Deva extended his hand to the King and expanded his Vamana Rupa gradually. Instantly, Vamana Murti displayed his Virat Swarupa: Chandra and Surya were his two Eyes, Shy was his head, Prithvi his feet, Pishachaas were his foot-fingers, Gruhyakaas were his hand fingers, Vishwa Deva Ganaas were in his jaanus /knees,Sadhyas were his janghaas, Yakshaas were his nails, Apsarsaas were his palm lines, Nakshatras were his Eye sight, Surya kiranas were his hairs, Stars were his body hairs, Maharshiganaas were in the hair roots, Vidishas were his hands, Dishaas were his ears, Ashwini Kumars were his faculty of hearing, Vayu was his nose, Chandra Deva was his joking faculty, Dharma Deva was his thinking capacity, Satya was his voice and Saraswati was his tongue, Deva Mata Aditi was his neck, Vidya was his valiyaas or long poles; Pushas were his eye brows, Swarga dwar was his anus, Vaishvanara his face, Prajapati his vrushanaas, Param Brahma was his heart, Kashyapa Muni was his Pumstwa, Vasu Devata was his back, Marutganaas were his Sandhis, Rudra was his Vakshasthala, Mahaarnavaa was his Dhairya, Gangharvas were in his stomach; Lakshmi, Medha, Dhruti, Kaanti and all Vidyaas were in his 'Kati Pradesha'; the luster and radiance in the total Universe as also the Tapo teja or the power of meditation was the reflection of the magnificence of Natayana; Vedas and Sciptures and the huge Yagnaas and the Sacred Deeds of the Virtuous like Maharshis and Brahmanas were all inside in his 'kukshi' or belly. On viewing the Paramatma's 'Virat Swarupa', the so called 'Mahaasuraas' referred to earlier in ignorance by Chakravarti Bali before Prahlada's curse to him got burnt off like flies before a gigantic out berak of Fire! Having thus occupied the Universe in totality including the sub-terrain Sapta Paatalaas, Vamana Deva stated that since Bali took the water in his hand and donated the THREE FEET of Land, and blessed him to be the King of the Sapta Paatalaas and granted him long life till the and of Manvantara of the on-going Vaisawata Manu.]

<u>Stanza 27 continued:</u> As Veera Lakshmana affirmed quoting Vamana Deva's example for seeking three feet of earth and enveloping trilokas, provided extraordinary confidence to even search the universe but accomplish Devi Sita where ever she might be. But at the moment, Shri Rama was in a totally depressed crisis. sa vihvalitasarvāngo gatabuddhir vicetanaḥ, viṣasādāturo dīno niḥśvasyāśītam āyatam/ bahuśaḥ sa tu niḥśvasya rāmo rājīvalocanaḥ, hā priyeti vicukrośa bahuśo bāṣpagadgadaḥ/ Rama's state of present condition was dimmed gradually, his awareness was blank, physical movement was stilled, was breathing heavily and heated up with sped and was truly sunk in the deep waters of ocean like distress.

Sarga Sixty Two

Rama's anguish - his sustained efforts with Lakshmna- following Maya Mriga's southern direction-recognising fallen Sitas's dried up flowers and ornaments- and signs of a recently fought battle!

Sa dīno dīnayā vācā lakṣmaṇam vākyam abravīt, śīghram lakṣmaṇa jānīhi gatvā godāvarīm nadīm, api godāvarīm sītā padmāny ānayitum gatā/ evam uktas tu rāmeṇa lakṣmaṇaḥ punar eva hi, nadīm godāvarīm ramyām jagāma laghuvikramaḥ/ tām lakṣmaṇas tīrthavatīm vicitvā rāmam abravīt, nainām paśyāmi tīrtheṣu krośato na śṛṇoti me/ kam nu sā deśam āpannā vaidehī kleśanāśinī, na hi tam vedmi vai rāma yatra sā tanumadhyamā/ lakṣmaṇasya vacaḥ śrutvā dīnaḥ samtāpa mohitaḥ, rāmaḥ samabhicakrāma svayam godāvarīm nadīm/ sa tām upasthito rāmaḥ kva sītety evam abravīt/ bhūtāni rākṣasendreṇa vadhārheṇa hṛtām api, na tām śaśamsū rāmāya tathā godāvarī nadī/ tataḥ pracoditā

bhūtaih śamsāsmai tām priyām iti, na ca sābhyavadat sītām prstā rāmena śocitā/ rāvanasya ca tad rūpam karmāṇi ca durātmanaḥ, dhyātvā bhayāt tu vaidehīm sā nadī na śaśamsa tām/ nirāśas tu tayā nadyā sītāyā darśane kṛtaḥ, uvāca rāmaḥ saumitrim sītādarśanakarśitaḥ/ kim nu lakṣmaṇa vakṣyāmi sametya janakam vacah, mātaram caiva vaidehyā vinā tām aham apriyam/ yā me rājyavihīnasya vane vanyena jīvataḥ, sarvaṁ vyapanayac chokaṁ vaidehī kva nu sā gatā/ jñātipakṣavihīnasya rājaputrīm apaśyataḥ, manye dīrghā bhaviṣyanti rātrayo mama jāgrataḥ/ godāvarīm janasthānam imam prasravaņam girim, sarvāny anucariṣyāmi yadi sītā hi dṛśyate/ evam sambhāṣamāṇau tāv anyonyam bhrātarāv ubhau, vasumdharāyām patitam puspamārgam apasyatām/ tām puspavṛṣṭim patitām dṛṣṭvā rāmo mahītale, uvāca lakṣmaṇam vīro duḥkhito duḥkhitam vacaḥ/ abhijānāmi puṣpāṇi tānīmāmīha laksmana, apinaddhāni vaidehyā mayā dattāni kānane/ evam uktvā mahābāhur laksmanam purusarsabham, kruddho 'bravīd girim tatra simhah ksudramṛgam yathā/ tām hemavarnām hemābhām sītām darśaya parvata, yāvat sānūni sarvāni na te vidhvamsayāmy aham/ mama bānāgninirdagdho bhasmībhūto bhavişyasi, asevyah satatam caiva nistṛnadrumapallavah/ imām vā saritam cādya śosayisyāmi laksmaṇa, yadi nākhyāti me sītām adya candranibhānanām/ evam sa rusito rāmo didhaksann iva caksusā, dadarša bhūmau niskrāntam rāksasasya padam mahat/ sa samīksya parikrāntam sītāyā rākṣasasya ca,sambhrāntahṛdayo rāmaḥ śaśamsa bhrātaram priyam/ paśya lakṣmaṇa vaidehyāḥ śīrṇāḥ/ .kanakabindavaḥ, bhūṣaṇānām hi saumitre mālyāni vividhāni ca/ taptabindunikāśaiś ca citraiḥ ksatajabindubhih, āvṛtam paśya saumitre sarvato dharanītalam/ manye laksmana vaidehī rāksasaih kāmarūpibhih, bhittvā bhittvā vibhaktā vā bhaksitā vā bhavisyati tasya nimittam vaidehyā dvayor vivadamānayoh, babhūva yuddham saumitre ghoram rāksasayor iha/ muktāmanicitam cedam tapanīyavibhūṣitam, dharaṇyām patitam saumya kasya bhagnam mahad dhanuḥ/ taruṇādityasamkāśam vaidūryagulikācitam, viśīrṇam patitam bhūmau kavacam kasya kāñcanam/ chatram śataśalākam ca divyamālyopaśobhitam, bhagnadandam idam kasya bhūmau saumya nipātitam/ kāñcanoraśchadāś ceme piśācavadanāh kharāh, bhīmarūpā mahākāyāh kasya vā nihatā rane/dīptapāvakasamkāśo dyutimān samaradhvajah, apaviddhaś ca bhagnaś ca kasya sāmgrāmiko rathah/ rathāksamātrā viśikhās tapanīyavibhūṣaṇāḥ, kasyeme 'bhihatā bāṇāḥ prakīrṇā ghorakarmaṇaḥ/ vairam śataguṇam paśya mamedam jīvitāntakam, sughorahrdayaiḥ saumya rākṣasaiḥ kāmarūpibhiḥ/ hrtā mrtā vā sītā hi bhakṣitā vā tapasvinī, na dharmas trāvate sītām hrivamānām mahāvane/ bhaksitāvām hi vaidehvām hrtāvām api laksmana, ke hi loke priyam kartum śaktāh saumva mameśvarāh/ kartāram api lokānām śūram karuṇavedinam, ajñānād avamanyeran sarvabhūtāni lakṣmaṇa/ mṛdum lokahite yuktam dāntam karunavedinam, nirvīrya iti manyante nūnam mām tridaśeśvarāh/ mām prāpya hi guno dosah samvrttah paśya laksmana, adyaiva sarvabhūtānām raksasām abhavāya ca, samhrtyaiva śaśijyotsnām mahān sūrya ivoditah/ naiva yaksā na gandharvā na piśācā na rāksasāh, kimnarā vā manusyā vā sukham prāpsyanti laksmana/ mamāstrabānasampūrnam ākāśam paśya laksmana, nihsampātam karisyāmi hy adya trailokyacāriṇām/ samniruddhagrahagaṇam āvāritaniśākaram, vipranastānalamarudbhāskaradyutisamvrtam/ vinirmathitaśailāgram śusyamānajalāśayam,

vipranaṣṭānalamarudbhāskaradyutisamvṛtam/ vinirmathitaśailāgram śuṣyamāṇajalāśayam, dhvastadrumalatāgulmam vipraṇāśitasāgaram/ na tām kuśalinīm sītām pradāsyanti mameśvarāḥ, asmin muhūrte saumitre mama drakṣyanti vikramam/ nākāśam utpatiṣyanti sarvabhūtāni lakṣmaṇa, mama cāpaguṇān muktair bāṇajālair nirantaram/ arditam mama nārācair dhvastabhrāntamṛgadvijam, samākulam amaryādam jagat paśyādya lakṣmaṇa/ ākarṇapūrṇair iṣubhir jīvalokam durāvaraiḥ, kariṣye maithilīhetor apiśācam arākṣasam/ mama roṣaprayuktānām sāyakānām balam surāḥ, drakṣyanty adya vimuktānām amarṣād dūragāminām/ naiva devā na daiteyā na piśācā na rākṣasāḥ, bhaviṣyanti mama krodhāt trailokye vipraṇāśite/ devadānavayakṣāṇām lokā ye rakṣasām api, bahudhā nipatiṣyanti bāṇaughaiḥ śakulīkṛtāḥ, nirmaryādān imāml lokān kariṣyāmy adya sāyakaiḥ/ yathā jarā yathā mṛtyur yathākālo yathāvidhiḥ, nityam na pratihanyante sarvabhūteṣu lakṣmaṇa, tathāham krodhasamyukto na nivāryo 'smy asamśayam/ pureva me cārudatīm aninditām; diśanti sītām yadi nādya maithilīm, sadevagandharvamanuṣya pannagam; jagat saśailam parivartayāmy aham/

Then Shri Rama even as he was deeply anguished by Devi Sita's absence instructed to make an intensive and thorough search for her on the banks of the Sacred River itself. Then Lakshmana having searched the river banks even by shouting her name in high pitch, returned blank. He was disheartened but he himself

visited the place himself. He then addressed Lakshmana: 'even mother Godavari had not responded and what should I inform King Janaka as to what had happened to his dear daughter! Truly, I am forlorn. Having lost my kingship, I have been already distressed while eking my existence by eating leaves and fruits some how, and now I have lost my dearest wife too. Now, I should perhaps only one alternative to make a thorough of the banks of Mandakini, the ashram surroundings and the Prasravana Mountain and hopefully I might get a clue of her where abouts! Yete mahamrigaa veera maameekshante punah punah, vaktukaama iha hi me eengitaanyupalakshaye/ Veera Lakshmana! That mayaavi rakshasa in the form of a deer was flapping its shining eyes; perhaps from its looks might give us a clue.! Uvaacha lakshmano dheemaam jyeshtam bhraataramaavratat,kka sitena tvayaa prushthaa yatheme saha sotyithaah/ Darshayanti kshitim chaiya dakshinaam cha dishaam mrigaah,saadhu gacchhaayahe deya dishametaam cha nairruteem, yadi tasyaagamah kaschidaaryaa vaa saath laksyate/ Buddhimaan Lakshmana then shouted excitedly to Arya Shri Rama: As we are concerned about the whereabouts of Devi Sita, I suspect that she might have turned towards the south east direction and as such we must concentrate our searchings in that direction to provide a clue. Most possibly, having arrived here she was most probably, She might have been engrossed looking in that direction only! Then Rama stared in that particular direction. evam sambhāṣamāṇau tāv anyonyam bhrātarāv ubhau, vasumdharāyām patitam puṣpamārgam apaśyatām/ tām puṣpavṛṣṭim patitām dṛṣṭvā rāmo mahītale, uvāca lakṣmaṇam vīro duḥkhito duḥkhitam vacah/ abhijānāmi puspāni tānīmāmīha laksmana, apinaddhāni vaidehyā mayā dattāni kānane/ As both the brothers were intently examining at that area they saw at a specifice spot and wondered there were a few flowers fallen; they examined the fallen flowers as a group as though showered. Rama was excited and addressed Lakshmana at once: Lakshmana! I can recognise these flowers as certainly of Sita's head hairs. I must realise that Surya, Vayu and the famed mother Prithvi have kept these flowers in tact and semi fresh Then he complemned the Prasravana Parvata and said with excitement: Parvata Raja! how indeed you helped me to identify these flowers safe and in a lot to give me a leading clue to reach my darling Sita finally! But in a fit of feighned consternation, Rama said that he ought to discover Devi Sita, lest the Parvata Raja shikharas should be destroyed till Devi Sita's exact location is known to him. Then Lakshmana too was excited and shouted: Parvata Raja! I am too prepared to let the Parvata shikharas harmed till they confess about her location! Apparently both Rama Lakshmanas having secured a definite clue of Sita were truly excited. dadarśa bhūmau niskrāntam rāksasasya padam mahat/Then they discovered the huge foot prints of a Rakshasa. Further the chain of Rama Lakshmana's guess thoughts was as follows: Trastaayaa raama kaanchinyaah pradhaavantyaa itastatah, raakshaseaanusrutpaayaa vaodeheescha padaani tu/ The rakshasaa having realised Ravana's interest might have run away hither and thither, and Devi Sita's footprins too were recognisable. sa sameekshya pari -kraantam Sitaayaa raakshasasya cha, bhagnam dhanuscha toonee cha vikeernam bahudhaa ratham, sabhramaanta hridayo Raamah shashamsa bhraataram priyam/Sita and Rakshasaa's footprints, broken down dhanush and the arrow container remains and the chariot were the definit clues that the cruel Ravana mnust have kidnapped Devi Sita. Then there was a further proof of the kidnap. paśva laksmana vaidehvāh śīrnāh kanakabindavah, bhūsanānām hi saumitre mālvāni vividhāni ca/ Lashmana! See the further proof of the kidnap: Devi Sita's golden jewellery is visible thrown here and there on earth but smeared with blood. Then there was a twist in the probability of the guesswork: Rama addressed Lakshmana! My feeling is that a raakshasas who could change their forms might have sliced off Devi Sita's body and distributed and devoured and in the process might have fought aming them selves. And there could be seen a huge and well jewelled dhanush too is visible on the ground but whose such dhanush could that be! This dhanush appears to be of some devatas fallen down. Further, there is also a glittering 'kavacha', a 'dhvaja' of a 'ratha' too! Most interestingly Lakshmana! kāñcanoraśchadāś ceme piśācavadanāḥ kharāḥ, bhīmarūpā mahākāyāḥ kasya vā nihatā raṇe/ dīptapāvakasamkāśo dyutimān samaradhvajah, apaviddhaś ca bhagnaś ca kasya sāmgrāmiko rathah/ Look at this! This fearful and disgusting dead body of a huge donkey like a pishacha which too was wearing a body kavacha made of bright gold is lying dead to pieces! Whose chariot driven by donkeys that could be! Lashmana look at this: sharvaras or arrow resters had fallen off with possibly the dead body of rakshasa looking like a charioteer! hrtā mrtā vā sītā hi bhaksitā vā tapasvinī, na dharmas trāvate sītām

hriyamāṇām mahāvane/ bhakṣitāyām hi vaidehyām hrtāyām api lakṣmaṇa, ke hi loke priyam kartum śaktāḥ saumya mameśvarāḥ/ Soumya! most certainly a Rakshasa king appears to have either killed or kidnapped tapasvini Vaidehi and in this dandakaranya the procection of her and much less of dharma could be vindicated ever! Who indeed that kind of a mighty rakshasa king who could have eaten or mercilessly taken away my darling Sita! kartāram api lokānām śūram karuṇavedinam, ajñānād avamanyeran sarvabhūtāni lakṣmaṇa/ Lashmana! The common public on earth gets disbelieving even Maheshwara famed for 'Tripuraasura Vijaya' keeps silent at times even being the unique emblem of virtue and natural justice!

Vishleshana on Tripuraasura Vijaya from i) Linga Purana-ii) Ganesha Purana

i) Linga Purana:

As Devas and Vishnu visioned 'Trishulapaani Shankar' relaxing with Devi Parvati and Mahatma Nandi, they saw that 'Bhuta bhavishya Swami'whose eyes were red like 'Agni kundas'and physique was shimmering with thousand Suns with a pleasant countenance ornamented with a Bala Purna Chandra. Having pleased Parama Shiva, Devas explained the gravity and seriousness of the crisis created by the Tripura Daityas who not only unseated and tormented Devas and Celestial Entities but were also sending shock-waves all over the Universe, humiliating Sages, frightening women and children, making massscale carnage and blood bath of humanity and uprooting Dharma and age-old Values and Principles. Parameshwara infused confidence into the demoralised Devas and asked them to construct an exceptional chariot with unique specifications: Prithvi as the Ratha / Chariot, Meru and Mandara Mountains as axles, Surva and Chandra as Chakras made of gold and silver respectively, the Four Vedas of Ruk-Yajur-Sama and Atharva acted as the horses; Shukra, Brihaspati, Budha, Mangal, and Shanaischara seated on the Ratha ready to charge; the famous serpents viz. Takshaka, Karkotaka, Dhanajaya and Padmadwaya acted as the strings which were tied to the horses; most poisonous snakes like Surasa, Devashuni, Sarama, Kadru, Vinata, Shuchi, Trusha, and Bubhuksha were used as arrows; Mrutyu, Brahmahatya, Gohatya, Balahatya and Prajaabhaya were loaded on the Chariot so that they get activised as maces; Omkara and Vashatkara were the symbols on the Ratha; Sinivali, Kuhu, Raaka and Anumati - the 'Adhishtana'/ in charge Deities of Chaturdashi, Amavasya, Suddha Purnima, Pratipadika Purnima respectively were used as auxiliary strings to the horses; the dhanush made of six 'ritus'/ seasons which is safeguarded by Devi Ambika herself never to be broken; the specific arrow with which to kill the Tripurasura was strengthened by Vishnu, Soma and Agni and its head propelled by Agni and Chandra by its rear and Vishnu Maya smeared all over; and the extreme poison of Nagaraja Vasuki was loaded to ensure stability and speed of the arrow; Vayu was made in charge of the high velocity of the Chariot and finally Brahma was the Charioteer and Sesha Naag was made in charge of the personal security of Brahma as also of the Chariot. Yama Raja with his buffalo, Kubera on his serpent, Indra on Iravata, Ganeswara by his Mushika Vahana, Karikeya on his Peacock, Nandeshwara with his Shula running behind and sides of the Ratha were in full preparedness. Maharshis Bhrigu, Bharadwaja, Vasishtha, Goutama, Kratu, Pulastya, Pulaha, Marichi, Atri, Angira, Parashara, and Agastya were there too at the kick-start of the Battle to recite Veda Vachanas and Shiv Stutis. The Pramatha ganas were ready to charge as the army against the opponents- all swarmed around the Rath. Meanwhile, Sage Narada reached the Tripuras and tried his best to mend his ways, give back Indrapuri to Devas and avoid the worst ever battle in which the indestructible Tripuras would be destroyed along with the Three Demons as Maha Deva himself was approaching these Places with full preparation. Instead of talking peace, the Demons alerted their vast armies, and prepared for turning their defensive positions to that of an offence. On the instruction of Shankara Deva, Indra took his enormous army and attacked Tripura. As the Deva Sena made a highly offensive assault in full force, what with the revenge and frustration experienced by them for long as they were out of power as also owing to the excellent backing of Maheswara, they seized the best part of Tripuras. While quite a few Danavas sought to escape for their lives through the exit gates of Tripuras, Pramatha ganas calculated that the enemies

would try to sneek out at those points and buchered thousands of Danavas. The remaining Danavas inside the Trinagaris were utterly confused by contradictoy shouts that Taraka died or Shiva was defeated. In that melee, a strong contingent of Danavas quickly regrouped their men and material to make offensive attacks under the leadership of Vidyunmali and Maya. Ganeswara divided Tripuras in three regions as Nandeswara was attacking Vidyunmali, while he was in position against Maya. Meanwhile, Vidyunmali threw a 'Parigha' on Nandi who was hurt and the enraged three 'Parshadaganas' named Ghantaakarna, Shankukarna and Mahakaal retaliated; they assumed the Forms of Ganeswara and assailed Vidyunmali by making the roars of lions. Even while the Parswaganas were about to leap on Vidyunmali, the hurt Nandikeswara hurled a Rudra Shakti on the demon who fell down like a mountain. There was utter silence among Danavas who were stunned and retreated. But, the highly cunning and crafty Mayasura chased the Ganas of Ganeshwara to divert attention of his own men from the fallen Vidyunmali to the Ganesha ganas. Mayasura created rains of Agni, crocodiles, snakes, huge mountains, lions, tigers, trees, black deers, eight-legged 'Sharabhas' / a species of oversized deer, torrential rain and powerful sand storms. As Taraka came into the battle field, Devas too appeared in full force, including Yamaraja, Varuna, Bhaskara, Kartikeya heading a Deva Sena of a Crore, with Indra, Shanaishchara, Chandra, and Rudras. The 'Maayavi' Mayaasura created several Wells full of herbal juices for envigoration and Danavas were in high spirits as their body strength increased manifold. But Keshava took the form of 'Vrishabha' and drank up the juice along with Devas and dried up the wells and Devas occupied the Tripuras finally. Mayasura and other Daityas were forced to hide in the Sea. That was the decisive moment when there was an all-out battle on the seashores. Shankara divided the 'Tridevamaya' arrow into three parts and released it at the Pushya Yoga time when Tripuras were destroyed in one go. Devas then went ecsatic and the huge shouts of Victory to Maha Deva resounded across the Sky from where Gandharvas and Kinnaras sang hymns of praises, Apsaras danced and Maharshis recited Vedas and Shiva Stotras. Brahma praised Parama Shiva in a chorus.

ii) Ganesha Purana:

Tripurasura performs severe tapasya to Brahma Deva who directed to invoke Ganesha- The pleased Ganesha and grants ability to control three lokas, Brahma-Vishnu- Shiva Lokas too.Brahma directed Tripurasura to construct a Ganesha Temple by installing a Ganesha Pratima made of Kashmira stones. The Asura then built Ganeshapura in the state of Assam in Bharata Desha and picked up popularity as Tripura sthaana. The Asura then invoked Ganesha with Veda Mantras, as the Lord was pleased with the unpecedented devotion of Tripurasura and granted the boon of Trailokyaadhipatya as also the control of Brahma Loka- Vaikuntha and even of Kailasa! Having instantly occupied Bhuloka with no resistence, imprisoned all the Tapasvis, spread hatred for Svaahaakara-Svadhaakaara- Vashtkaara, Vedaadhyayana and Sadaachaara; he appointed Bhimakaaya Daitya as the Governer in Bhu loka. He brought Pataladi Seven Lokas of Atala-Vitala-Sutala-Rasaatala-Talaatala-Mahatala and Patala too, bodily enjoyed Naga kanyas; he appointed Vajradanta daitya as the Governor for local administration. Then he attacked Svarga loka and subued Indra. Tripusaasura then proceeded to Brahma Loka and even before his awareness, Brahma hid himself insider the lotus stalk that emerged from the Vishnu naabhi and having imprisoned Tapasvis. Vaikuntha was the next target where Vishnu Deva who was conveniently absent there. Tripurasura then appointed Chanda and Prachanda- his manasa putras as his chiefs in Brahma and Vishnu Lokas respectively. He proceeded to Kailasa Mountain and by the his own 'baahu bala' or the strength of his own hands shook the mountain and made it mobile! Devi Parvati embraced Lord Shiva out of awe and wonder. Shiva confronted the asura and asked as to what would he like to do. The Asura asked Shiva to donate the Kailasa Mountain so that he would be free for riding the mountain'; Maha Deva smiled and thought that after all the Asura was short lived and agreed and as such moved out of the Mountain along with Pramadha Ganas, Devi Parvati and the Temple there atop too. Then Maha Ganesha assumed the form of a Dvija named Kalaadhara and comlplimented Tripuraasura for his magnificent accomplishments of life which never heard of in the past-present or future! The Asura enquired of the Vidvan as what was his specialisation since he called himself a vidvan. Kaladhara replied: Pareshaam

sampadam drushtvaa kim syaattama Suradvisha, vinaayaatte prasannoham kalayaa te dadaami vai/ Kaancham raajatam loham Tripuram shara samdhitam, rama tatra sthirayo Daitya chirakaalam yathaa sukham/ Abhedayam devagandharvairmaanushairuragairapi, kalpitaarthapradam tattai kaamagam kaamadam shubham/ Asura! Of what avail could be the wealth of Lokas and their temporary commandership. I am offering you three permanent Tri Puras made of gold-silver and steel. This should bestow permanent Lordship to the three puras for lasting sukha prapti for your total content-ment. These Three Puras are indestructible by Deva-Gandharva-Manushyas and as such your life as also that of your followers ought to be a lasting sailing on the flows of bliss! So asserting and handing over the three arrows with which to attack even Parama Shiva while utilising three arrows! Tripurasura was fully submerged in Ganesha Maya thus! Then Tripurasura then gave return gifts to Kaladhara viz. ten villages, cows, high value vastras, and jewellery. As Kaladhara left for his ashram, Tripurasara still felt that the gifts given to the Brahmana notwithstanding, a more precious gift ought to be given to him for the Tripuras made of gold-silver-metal with which to attack even Paramashiva. He declared to the Brahmana: Shankaram kinkaram manye na cha devataah, aanayitvaa pradasyaami taam Murtim dvijapungava/ Brahmanaagra! I am of the strong faith and belief that Shankara is the singular Parama Deva unparalleled. And I shall soon gift you such a Chintamani Ganesha Murti which Shiva himself had been venerating!As Brahmana Kaladhara, as Ganesah himself in the form of left the fortress of Tripurasura, the Asura sent his 'chaturangani' soldiers by walk-horsebacks-elephants and warring -fit chariots to bring the idol of Chintamani Ganesha from Kailasa. There followed a severe battle of the Asura sena with Pramatha ganas of Shiva sena. As the asurasena was unable to resist the defence of Shiva ganas, Tripuraasura himself reached and challenged Shiva himself. Even as the soldiers of Tripura were shattered, the asura utilised vaarunastra and Shiva retaliated by using vaayavyaastra; in further relalliation the asura made the prayoga of agneyaastra while Shiva utilised parjanyaastra but as a result of the preceeding agneyastras emerged a sky high vikruta svarupa purusha and Shiva sena fled away out of fright for life. Meanwhile Devi Parvati who was closely following the proceedings of the battle got worried and left for the solace of her father Himavanta. Kartikeya who accompanied Shiva to the battle front as well as Shiva himself were worried about the safety of Devi Parvati and thus concluded the battle. Meanwhile instead of chasing Shiva sena got wise and decided to somehow steal the Idol of Chintaamani Ganesha from the Temple and retreated.

A brooding Parama Shiva looked back at the just concluded high drama and the resultant loss of Chintamani Ganesha idol which was worshipped by the self, Brahmarshi Narada appeared on the scene and Shiva gave a review of the just concluded events. Narada warmed up Maha Deva by revealing the magnificence of the former: Maha Deva! You are Sarvgjna, Sarva Vidya Swaami, Sarveshvara, Sarvakarta, Sarvamukha swarupi, Sarvaharta, Sarva niyanta, Sarva samardha, Shadaishvarya sampanna [viz. Yuddha praveenata, Sarva netra, Trupti, Adyantarahita, Aluptashakti, Swatantrata, and Ananta Shakti are the Shadaishwaryas as given in Shiva and Kurma Puranas]. Yet, You had not performed Ganesha Puja formally and hence this present defeat with Tripurasura! If only you disallow the free movement of Tripuraasura among the three cities of TRI PURA by using a single arrow unified into one single arrow, Mahishasura's extermination would be possible and you should win the battle hands down! As advised as per Narada, Maheshwara meditated Ganesha for hundred years and the laatter responded with his darshan with Pancha Mukhas representing Pancha Bhutas of Bhumi-Water-Agni-Air-and Sky as also Pancha Tanmatras of Rasa-Rupa- Gandha- Sparsha-Shabdas, Pancha Jnaanendriyas and Pancha Karmendriyas besides the creation of Gandharva-Yaksha-Pitara-Manushya-Devarshi- Deva Gana-Brahma-Indra-Rudra- Vasu-Sadhya and Charaachara Jeevas, besides Trigunas of Satvika-Raajasika-Taamasika gunas and Srishthi- Sthiti-Samhaara-Tirodhaanas of Kaala maana! Maha Ganesha was pleased and bestowed the Maha Mantra 'GA' to Shiva; He assured that with this Maha Mantra, Shiva should be able to destroy the Tripuraasura!]

Stanza 62 onward continued: mṛdum lokahite yuktam dāntam karuṇavedinam, nirvīrya iti manyante nūnam mām tridaśeśvarāḥ/ mām prāpya hi guṇo doṣaḥ samvṛttaḥ paśya lakṣmaṇa, adyaiva sarvabhūtānām rakṣasām abhavāya ca, samhṛtyaiva śaśijyotsnām mahān sūrya ivoditaḥ/ naiva yakṣā na

gandharvā na piśācā na rāksasāh, kimnarā vā manusyā vā sukham prāpsyanti laksmana/ Lakshmana! I have so far been following the golden principles of soft, virtuous, self controlled, peaceful traits and Indra and Devatas might have felt and convinced of my ineffective and weak nature not to have been able to save Devi Sita from her misery, possibly verging even on lifelessless. But most definitely, my another form of courage, intrepedity, invincibility, and an open challenge to vindicate my inner strength needs to be surely declared to the universe about my determination to fulfil my aspirations of purushrthaas of dharma-kaama- artha-mokshas definitely asserted. Lakshmana! From now onward, I resolve to let not Yaksha, Gandharva, Pishacha, Rakshasa, Kinnara, Manushyas too preserve and sustain their consciousness against my daring attacks of 'maya'- make beliefs- pretensions and cut throat treacheries! Sumitra nadana! Be it universally declared and trust me: I shall overshadow the high sky line with my powerful arrows and triloka pranis are tied together tied to stirlessness and surrender! The nava grahas might lose their course, Chandra might be hidden behind clouds, Surya might lose his heat and brightness, and the entire universe filled with darkness and gloom, parvata shikharas tumble down to earth and rivers and water bodies get dry down, and even oceans might turn likedwise. I shall initiate the process of the Great Annihilation! nākāśam utpatisvanti sarvabhūtāni laksmana, mama cāpagunān muktair bānajālair nirantaram/ arditam mama nārācair dhvastabhrāntamṛgadvijam, samākulam amaryādam jagat paśyādya laksmana/ Lakshmana! My arrows aimed at the high skies with my total consciousness and total dedication should spare no being on earth! Tasyaa rupaam hi vaideheem na daasyanti yadi priyam, naashayaami jagat sarvam trailokyam sacharaacharam yaavad darshanamasyaa vai taapayaami cha saayakaih/ In case my beloved Videha R aja kumari in not gicen back to me in tact, I should with the assistance of my supporters I would bring the universe to doom.

Sargas Sixty Three and Sixty Four

<u>Lakshmana</u> seeks to cool down the unbelievable rage and anger and recounts the fundamenatal features of self restraint while getting ready to display his outstanding bravery in human like and Gods like battle!

Tapyamānam tathā rāmam sītāharanakarśitam, lokānām abhave vuktam sāmvartakam ivānalam/ vīksamānam dhanuh sajyam nihśvasantam muhur muhuh, hantukāmam paśum rudram kruddham dakşakratau yathā/ adṛṣṭapūrvam samkruddham dṛṣṭvā rāmam sa lakṣmaṇaḥ abravīt, prāñjalir vākyam mukhena pariśusyatā/ purā bhūtyā mrdur dāntah sarvabhūtahite ratah, na krodhavaśam āpannah prakrtim hātum arhasi/candre laksnīh prabhā sūrye gatir vāyau bhuvi ksamā, etac ca niyatam sarvam tvayi cānuttamam yaśah/ na tu jānāmi kasyāyam bhagnah sāmgrāmiko rathah, kena vā kasya vā hetoh sāyudhah saparicchadah/khuranemiksataś cāyam sikto rudhirabindubhih, deśo nivṛttasamgrāmah sughorah pārthivātmaja/ ekasya tu vimardo 'yam na dvayor vadatām vara, na hi vṛttam hi paśyāmi balasya mahatah padam/ naikasya tu krte lokān vināśayitum arhasi, yuktadaṇḍā hi mṛdavah praśāntā vasudhādhipāh/ sadā tvam sarvabhūtānām śaranyah paramā gatih, ko nu dārapranāśam te sādhu manyeta rāghava/ saritah sāgarāh śailā devagandharvadānavāh, nālam te vipriyam kartum dīksitasyeva sādhavah/ vena rājan hrtā sītā tam anvesitum arhasi, maddvitīvo dhanuspānih sahāvaih paramarsibhih/ samudram ca viceṣyāmaḥ parvatāms ca vanāni ca, guhās ca vividhā ghorā nalinīḥ pārvatīs ca ha/ devagandharvalokām's ca vicesyāmah samāhitāh, yāvan nādhigamisyāmas tava bhāryāpahārinam/ na cet sāmnā pradāsyanti patnīm te tridasesvarāh, kosalendra tatah pascāt prāptakālam karisyasi/sīlena sāmnā vinayena sītām; nayena na prāpsyasi cen narendra, tatah samutsādaya hemapunkhair; mahendravajrapratimaih saraughaih/

Tam tathā śokasamtaptam vilapantam anāthavat, mohena mahatāviṣṭam paridyūnam acetanam/tataḥ saumitrir āśvāsya muhūrtād iva lakṣmaṇaḥ, rāmam sambodhayām āsa caraṇau cābhipīḍayan/ mahatā tapasā rāma mahatā cāpi karmaṇā, rājñā daśarathenāsīl labdho 'mṛtam ivāmaraiḥ/ tava caiva guṇair baddhas tvadviyogān mahīpatiḥ, rājā devatvam āpanno bharatasya yathā śrutam/ yadi duḥkham idam prāptam kākutstha na sahisyase, prākrtaś cālpasattvaś ca itarah kah sahisyati/ duhkhito hi bhavāml

lokāms tejasā yadi dhakṣyate, ārtāḥ prajā naravyāghra kva nu yāsyanti nirvṛtim/ lokasvabhāva evaiṣa yayātir nahuṣātmajaḥ, gataḥ śakreṇa sālokyam anayas tam samaspṛśat/ maharṣayo vasiṣṭhas tu yaḥ pitur naḥ purohitaḥ, ahnā putraśatam jajñe tathaivāsya punar hatam/ yā ceyam jagato mātā devī lokanamaskṛtā, asyāś ca calanam bhūmer dṛśyate satyasamśrava/ yau cemau jagatām netre yatra sarvam pratiṣṭhitam, ādityacandrau grahaṇam abhyupetau mahābalau/ sumahānty api bhūtāni devāś ca puruṣarṣabha, na daivasya pramuñcanti sarvabhūtāni dehinaḥ/ śakrādiṣv api deveṣu vartamānau nayānayau, śrūyete naraśārdūla na tvam vyathitum arhasi/ naṣṭāyām api vaidehyām hṛtāyām api cānagha, śocitum nārhase vīra yathānyaḥ prākṛtas tathā/ tvadvidhā hi na śocanti satatam satyadarśinaḥ, sumahatsv api kṛcchreṣu rāmānirviṇṇadarśaṇāḥ/ tattvato hi naraśreṣṭha buddhyā samanucintaya, buddhyā yuktā mahāprājñā vijānanti śubhāśubhe/ adṛṣṭaguṇadoṣāṇām adhṛtānām ca karmaṇām, nāntareṇa kriyām teṣām phalam iṣṭam pravartate/mām eva hi purā vīra tvam eva bahuṣo 'nvaśāḥ/ anuśiṣyād dhi ko nu tvām api sākṣād bṛhaspatiḥ/ buddhiś ca te mahāprājña devair api duranvayā, śokenābhiprasuptam te jñānam sambodhayāmy aham/ divyam ca mānuṣam caivam ātmanaś ca parākramam, ikṣvākuvṛṣabhāvekṣya yatasva dviṣatām badhe/ kim te sarvavināśena kṛtena puruṣarṣabha, tam eva tu ripum pāpam vijñāyoddhartum arhasi/

As Shri Rama was extremely agitated with the disappearance of his beloved Devi Sita and as was being realised that even Gods were not reacting positively to help him in his vexatious searchings to trace her where abouts he got exausted physically and exasperated psychologically, he resolved to devastate the delinquent Rakshasaas and as also the non-proactive and non coperative involvement of celestials like Deva-Gandharvas. He picked up his dhanush aimed at ever irrevocable arrows ready to act like Kalpaantakaala Rudra Deva to burn off the universe. The most frightened Lakshmana like bhakta Prahlada at the appearance of Bhagavan Narasimha made all out endeavors to cool down Shri Rama. He said: Arya! Essentially you are ever peaceful and kind by nature with enormous self control and I have had never seen you in this disposition. This no doubt is an hour of distress but do therefore discard your tranquil demeanor. candre laksnīh prabhā sūrye gatir vāyau bhuvi ksamā, etac ca niyatam sarvam tvayi cānuttamam yaśah/ Chadra is known for his tranquility, Surya for his radiance, Vaayu for his speed and Prithyi for her endurance. In the similar way, Shri Rama for his fame and glory. Woud you wish to devastate the trilokas for a single mishap in your life! May I seek an answer to this question of this broken down but battle worthy chariot of global renown! Instead of repairing this chariot would it be worthy of destroying it! For a single mistake in life would it be worthwhile to seek to destroy trilokas! yuktadandā hi mrdavah praśāntā vasudhādhipāh, sadā tvam sarvabhūtānām śaranyah paramā gatih, ko nu dārapranāśam te sādhu manyeta rāghava/ saritah sāgarāh śailā devagandharvadānavāh, nālam te vipriyam kartum dīksitasyeva sādhavah/ Is it not characteristic of Kings to prescribe punishments as per the crime, but they are essentially of kind and ever coperative and placid nature but do they treat the entire public to harassment! Ramachandra! Are not the last refuge of all the persons irrespective of their misdemeanors and crimes! Raghunandana! It is true that your sorrow of your dear wife's absence becomes unbearable and none else could ever assess except by yourself. Just as in a sacred yagina, the role of a ritvik is defined to be sincere and truthful, but even by a far stretch of imagination how indeed saritaas, samudras, parvatas, devatas, gandharvas and such become punishment worthy! yena rājan hṛtā sītā tam anvesitum arhasi, maddvitīvo dhanuspānih sahāyaih paramarsibhih/ Rajan! Whosoever has kidnapped Devi Sita be concentrated upon with our 'dhanush baanaas' on hand, may be with our wellwishers including Maharshis. Narendra! In case we are peaceful, self controlled and righteous, we ought to trace Devi Sita and then take to battle even as Indra uses his vajraayudha and then our victory is most certain!Shri Rama Chandra's relentless sorrow as of a helpless child had made him weak and timid with wavering mind and tottering body. Lakshmana assuaged his erupting emotions and said: brother! Our revered father King Dasharadha had executed Putra Kamekshi Maha Yagjna and secured 'amrita tulya paayasa'. As informed by brother Bharata He reached swarga loka out of the despair of your 'viyoga'. Kakutsa kula bhushana! yadi duhkham idam prāptam kākutstha na sahisyase, prākṛtaś cālpasattvas ca itaraḥ kaḥ sahiṣyati/ duḥkhito hi bhavāml lokāms tejasā yadi dhakṣyate, ārtāḥ prajā naravyāghra kva nu vāsvanti nirvrtim/If you yourself are unable to withstand the probable temporary

absence of Devi Sita from you, who on earth could bear it! Nara shreshtha! You should have to be brave; even a burning of your skin might cause distress but would that be everlasting! Purusha Simha! In case that out of your distress, you seek to burn off the worlds, would not the Beings cry desperately and run helter skelter seeking solace and asylum and then you become overjoyed! *lokasvabhāva evaiṣa yayātir nahuṣātmajaḥ, gataḥ śakreṇa sālokyam anayas taṁ samaspṛśat/*It is a very common universal realism that every living being on earth is subjected to ups and downs of existence; did not Nahusha's son Yayati accomplish Indratva and still was subjected to irreversible agony thereafter!

[Ref Essence of Valmiki Ayodhya Ramayana-Sarga Twelve: Yayati, the son of Nahusha and his wife Viraja, was a famed Emperor who defeated all the Kings of the World and married Devayani the daughter of Asura Guru Shukracharya, besides Sharmishtha the daughter of Vishvaparva, a Rakshasa King. Indra was pleased to gift Yayati a Divine Chariot with seven powerful horses with which he traversed the world and divided his Empire into seven divisions to distribute it among five of his sons. A Maharshi gave a boon that if any of his sons could agree to exchange their youth to his old age then he could secure a fresh lease of youth. His eldest son Yadu from Devayani refused and so did others excepting Sharmishtha's son Puru who readily agreed. Yayati took over Puru's youth and enabled him travel around to unravel earthly pleasures for long. But finally returned discovering that the ephemeral joys of the world were endless like Agni in a Homa kunda assuming larger and larger proportions as long as ghee is served and no human would be satisfied with food, gold, ornaments or women. By so realising, he returned his youth to Puru and took to Vanaprastha or retirement. That was how he slipped down from the experiences of swarga but descended down into the company of 'Saadhu Pungavas' or of Groups of Virtue and Enlightment!]

Maharṣayo vasiṣṭhas tu yaḥ pitur naḥ purohitaḥ, ahnā putraśataṁ jajñe tathaivāsya punar hatam/ Rama! Did not our dear late father's Kula Purohita Maharshi Vasishtha had lost his hundred sons in the hands of Brahmarshi Vishvamitra!

[Ref Essence of Valmiki Bala Ramayana Sargas Fifty Nine and Sixty as follows:

Shatananda Maharshi addressing Rama Lakshmanas continued that Vishvamitra took pity on the King Trishanku in the form of chandala and gave an assurance that he should most certainly reach swarga with his mortal body. Then he instructed his disciples to collect and arrange for the required material for yagina kaarya. He further asked them to invite co-brahmanas to join the yagina including Vasishtha kumaras who heckled Trishanku and cursed him to become a chandala. Vishvamitra shisyaas likewise invited all, but Vasishtha Sishyaas were reported to have stated angrily as follows: ksatriyo yājako yasya candālasya viśesatah, katham sadasi bhoktāro havis tasya surarsayah/ brāhmaṇā vā mahātmāno bhuktvā caṇḍālabhojanam, katham svargam gamiṣyanti viśvāmitreṇa pālitāḥ/ 'A Chandala desires to perform the yagina and a Kshatriya would be the Aacharya. In such yagina, how could pure brahmanas consume the 'havishaanna'! Be that as it may, how indeed a kshatriya turned chandala be despatched to swarga by another kshatriya turned brahmana, that too with the chandaala's mortal body'!' Having heard this insinuating remarks of Vasishtha Kumaras, Vishvamitra fumed like fire and declared: yad dūṣayanty adustam mām tapa ugram samāsthitam, bhasmībhūtā durātmāno bhavisyanti na samśayah/ I am right now in severe tapasya and am expected to be peaceful without anger and such mental aberrations; yet I am constrained to say that whosoever evil minded invitees to my yagnja talked disparagingly about me and the yagina being proposed be surely be converted as heaps of human ash sooner or later; further in their following births, they should be born as chandalas and roam around begging with frightening forms. Having stated thus Vishvamitra could state nothing more and kept quiet!

Shatananda Muni continued his narration to Rama Lakshmanas about the subdued anger against Vasishtha Kumaras and addressed on his introductory speech to the Sages who arrived in response to his yagjnya karya with the express objective of despatching Ikshvaku Raja Trishanku to swarga with the latter's mortal body. Then the Munis at the conference grouped together that Maharshi Vishvamitra was a known and learned Sage but a highly volatile and angry person and hence what ever he directed by

dutifully executed without doubls and hesitations. Thereafter the yagna commenced and Vishvamitra was the 'Atharvyu' the pricipal initiator-conductor of the yagjna. As the 'havishaanna' was offered to respective Devatas, none of the Devas turned up to accept. Then the fuming Vishvamitra yelled in great anger: paśya me tapaso vīryam svārjitasya nareśvara, eṣa tvām svaśarīreṇa nayāmi svargam ojasā/ dusprāpam svaśarīrena divam gaccha narādhipa, svārjitam kim cid apy asti mayā hi tapasaḥ phalam, rājams tvam tejasā tasya saśarīro divam vraja/ Nareshvara Trishanku! Now you must vision the mighty outcome of my life long tapasya and now get ready to leave for swarga with your mortal body! Then Shatananda exclaimed to Rama Lakshmanas that King Trishanku had actually reached swarga with his mortal body! devalokagatam dṛṣṭvā triśankum pākaśāsanaḥ,saha sarvaiḥ suragaṇair idam vacanam abravīt/ triśanko gaccha bhūyas tvam nāsi svargakrtālayah, guruśāpahato mūḍha pata bhūmim avāksirāh/ evam ukto mahendrena trisankur apatat punah, vikrosamānas trāhīti visvāmitram tapodhanam/ tac chrutvā vacanam tasya krośamānasya kauśikah, rosam āhārayat tīvram tistha tistheti cābravīt/ As Trishanku had literally reached swarga, he visioned Mahendra seated along with various Devatas. Indra got shocked and furious shouting that there would never ever be a place in swarga and kicked him down. Trishanku yelled 'traahi traahi' in utter desperation while rapidly slipping down the thick clouds. Vishvamitra shouted at Trishanku with hysterics and commanded him to stay pur right there. The Vishvamitra looked up at the Rishimandala on the high skies and materialised Sapta Rishis and brand new nakshatras and declared angrily: Anyamindram karishyaami loko vaayasyaadanindrakah, daivataanyami sa krodhaat srashtam samupachakrame/ I will rather create another Indra or a new swarga loka without Indra! So saying with assertion Vishmamitra manifested fresh devataas! As the Maha Muni so decided: down on earth, samasta deva-asura-rishi groups made an appeal politely: ayam rājā mahābhāga guruśāpaparikṣataḥ, saśarīro divam yātum nārhaty eva tapodhana/ Maharshi Vishwamitra! King Trishanku was cursed by Guru Putras to assume 'chandalatva' and as such not qualified to attain swarga as a mortal. Vishvamitra retalliated to say that his statements and decisions should not be falsified ever! Therefore: Maha Raja Trishanku should hereafter enjoy the pleasures of swarga loka for ever; I have already manifested fresh nakshatra mandali for ever till pralaya; like wise the totality of divine material elsewhere too would exist in tact. May this parallel arrangement be in position without disturbance.!' The Munis collected at the Visyhamitra Yagina was greatly surprised at the unforgettable happenings and truly admired the outstanding ability in creating a new swarga itself on the mid skies!]

Stanzas 10 onward of Sarga Sixty Four continued: yā ceyam jagato mātā devī lokanamaskṛtā, asyāś ca calanam bhūmer dṛśyate satyasamśrava/ yau cemau jagatām netre yatra sarvam pratiṣṭhitam, ādityacandrau grahaṇam abhyupetau mahābalau/ Lakshmana continued addressing Shri Rama: Kosaleshwara! This sarva vandita Mother Earth too witnesses earth quakes. Even the universally venerated Surya Chandras are subjected to Rahu Ketu Grahanaas. Purusha pravara! Basic Elements or the Prithivi-Aapas-Tejas-Vayu-Akashas are indeed liable at the Time of Maha Pralaya the Great Dissolution! Of what avail is of common humans! Veera Raghu nandana: May God forbid, even is Devi Sita were to be no more, you being self restrained shoud not cry like a commoner. Narasheshtha: tattvato hi naraśreṣṭha buddhyā samanucintaya, buddhyā yuktā mahāprājñā vijānanti śubhāśubhe/ Do please recall the characteristics of 'dharma tatwa'and try to analyse the ingredients of 'uchita-anuchita' or appropriate and inappropriate dos and dont's.

[Vishleshana vide Bhagavad Gita is quoted in this context:

<u>Duhkeshvanudvignamanaah sukheshu vigataspruhah, veetaraaga bhaya krodhah sthitadheer-muniruchyate/</u>Getting terribly agitated while facing insurmountable impediments and getting extremely overjoyed by very joyous experiences is the negation of an equanimous mind and the ability to neutralise the emotions. One's capacity to neutralise the inner emotions of pleasures and pains alike is the State of 'Sthitapagjnantva'! Sorrows and joys are the consequences of discontent and of success. The vicious circle of discontentment leads to disappointment which itches on the fear of failure. This creates irritability, fear, anguish, anger, and back to dissatisfaction of life. Sadhakas realise that without Shiva's

approval even an ant or insect would not do harm. And 'Shivaagina' is on account of one's own doings of the previous births and of the ongoing one, besides the estimated future foretellings too. The Karma Sutra explains: Avashyamanubhoktavyam sthitam karma shubhamashubham/ or our own 'karma phala' or the sweetness or sourness of the fruit is reciprocated. That firm belief of hope or disappointment as the case that may be, is the 'Atma Swarupa' which certainly not is the body but the Self Consciouness of the concerned body which is clean and transparent and indestructible and eternal. Dhaayato Vishayaan Pumsah sangasteshoopajaayate, sangaatsanjaayate kaamah kaamaat krodhobhi jaayate, sangaatsanjaayate kaamah kaamaat krodhobhijaayate/Krodhaadbhavati sammohah sammohat smriti vibhramah, smriti bhramshaah buddhi naashah buddhi naashaat pranashyati/Every human being is subject to desires; if the desires are not fulfilled, there would be disappointment and eventual frustration; the resultant grief develops anguish and instability of mind; this further shapes up as anger coupled with wrong judgment and discretion which results in further failures! Such is the impact of the proverbial 'arishad vargas' or the six ememies of human beings viz. Kaama krodha lobha moha mada matsaras or excessive desires, anger, selfishness and avarice, infatuation, ego and jealousy. Raaga dvesha nivuktaistu vishaanindriyaischaran, aatmayashyarvidheyaatmaa prasaadamadhigacchati/ Prasaade sarya duhkhaanaam haani rasyopajaayate, prasanna chetasohyaashu buddhih parya patishthate/ If one is able to control desires and dislikes, then there can be regulation of mind and least disturbance of peace. [Kathopanishad vide I.iii.3-4 states: Aatmaanam rathinam vidhuh, shareeram rathameva tu, buddhim tu saarathim viddhi, manah pragrahamevacha/ Indriyaani hayaanaahu vishaayamsteshu gocharam, ateendriya mano yuktam bhokteetyaahur maneeshinaam/ This Individual Self is denoted as the Master of the Chariot, body is the chariot, charioteer is the 'buddhi' or the Intellect / Mind the bridle. The Pancha Indriyas are the horses viz. the Pancha Karmendriyas ie.the eyes-ears- mouth-nose-reproductive cum excretionary organs and Pancha Jnenendriyas of seeing-hearing-eating- breathing and the concerned of the last afore said. Besides, material objects are the roads as countless. Those who understand these details are called the Self and the latter has the body adjuncts and the mind)] Prasaade sarva duhkhaanaam haanirasyopajaayate prasanna chetasohyaashu buddhih paryapatishthate/ Peace of Mind could be routinised even as one goes on a feee spree of fulfilling desires of life yet within one's mental control. But once 'chitta shuddhi' or the purity of conscience is tarnished and 'indriva nigraha' or control of senses is lost then the mental bridle gets tilted off.]

Sarga Sixty Four stanzas 20 and 21 concluded:

divyam ca mānuṣam caivam ātmanaś ca parākramam, ikṣvākuvṛṣabhāvekṣya yatasva dviṣatām badhe/kim te sarvavināśena kṛtena puruṣarṣabha, tam eva tu ripum pāpam vijñāyoddhartum arhasi/ Shri Rama! Ikshvaaku kula shiromani! Get ready to display your outstanding and well composed courage like the best of humanity and divinity alike! Purusha pravara! Of which avail is to seek to resort to universal destruction. Lift up your enemies and mince them to pieces!

Sarga Sixty Five

Rama Lakshmanas witnessed the grievously hurt Maha Grudhra Jataayu who fought for Devi Sita being kidnapped Mahaasura Ravana the Lankeshwara

Pūrvajo 'py uktamātras tu lakṣmaṇena subhāṣitam, sāragrāhī mahāsāram pratijagrāha rāghavaḥ/ saṃnigṛhya mahābāhuḥ pravṛddham kopam ātmanaḥ, avashthabhya dhanuś citram rāmo lakṣmaṇam abravīt/ kim kariṣyāvahe vatsa kva vā gacchāva lakṣmaṇa, kenopāyena paśyeyam sītām iti vicintaya/ tam tathā paritāpārtam lakṣmaṇo rāmam abravīt, idam eva janasthānam tvam anveṣitum arhasi/ rākṣasair bahubhiḥ kīrṇam nānādrumalatāyutam, santīha giridurgāṇi nirdarāḥ kandarāṇi ca/ guhāś ca vividhā ghorā nānāmṛgagaṇākulāḥ, āvāsāḥ kimnarāṇām ca gandharvabhavanāni ca/ tāni yukto mayā sārdham tvam anveṣitum arhasi, tvadvidho buddhisampannā māhātmāno nararṣabha/ āpatsu na prakampante vāvuvegair ivācalāh, itv uktas tad vanam sarvam vicacāra salaksmanah/ kruddho rāmah śaram ghoram

samdhāya dhanusi ksuram, tatah parvatakūtābham mahābhāgam dvijottamam/ dadarśa patitam bhūmau kṣatajārdram jaṭāyuṣam, tam dṛṣṭvā giriśṛṅgābham rāmo lakṣmaṇam abravīt, anena sītā vaidehī bhakṣitā nātra samsayah/grdhrarūpam idam vyaktam rakso bhramati kānanam, bhaksayitvā visālāksīm āste sītām yathāsukham, enam vadhişye dīptāgrair ghorair bānair ajihmagaih/ ity uktvābhyapatad grdhram samdhāya dhanusi ksuram, kruddho rāmah samudrāntām cālayann iya medinīm/ tam dīnadīnayā vācā saphenam rudhiram vaman, abhyabhāṣata pakṣī tu rāmam daśarathātmajam/ yām oṣadhim ivāyuṣmann anveşasi mahāvane, sā devī mama ca prāṇā rāvaṇenobhayam hṛtam/ tvayā virahitā devī lakṣmaṇena ca rāghava, hrivamānā mavā drstā rāvanena balīvasā/ sītām abhvavapan no 'ham rāvanas' ca rane mavā, vidhvamsitarathacchatrah pātito dharanītale/ etad asya dhanur bhagnam etad asya śarāvaram, ayam asya rane rāma bhagnah sāmgrāmiko rathah/ pariśrāntasya me pakṣau chittvā khaḍgena rāvaṇah, sītām ādāya vaidehīm utpapāta vihāyasam, raksasā nihatam pūrvma na mām hantum tvam arhasi/rāmas tasya tu vijñāya sītāsaktām priyām kathām, grdhrarājam parişvajya ruroda sahalakṣmaṇaḥ/ ekam ekāyane durge niḥśvasantam katham cana, samīkṣya duḥkhito rāmaḥ saumitrim idam abravīt/ rājyād bhramśo vane vāsah sītā nastā hato dvijah, īdṛśīyam mamālakṣmīr nirdahed api pāvakam/ sampūrṇam api ced adya pratareyam mahodadhim, so 'pi nūnam mamālakṣmyā viśuṣyet saritām patiḥ/ nāsty abhāgyataro loke matto 'smin sacarācare, yeneyam mahatī prāptā mayā vyasanavāgurā/ ayam pitrvayasyo me grdhrarājo jarānvitah, sete vinihato bhūmau mama bhāgyaviparyayāt/ ity evam uktvā bahuso rāghavah sahalaksmanah, jatāyusam ca pasparša pitrsneham nidaršayan/ nikrttapaksam rudhirāvasiktam; tam grdhrarājam parirabhya rāmah, kva maithili prānasamā mameti; vimucya vācam nipapāta bhūmau/

As Shri Rama reacted to the highly provocative concluding remarks by brother Lakshmana took up by his powerful forearms his 'dhanush baanas' with anger and anguish alike and proceeded to the out skirt surroundings of his ashram resuming their search of Devi Sita once again towards the mountain top not too far. Encountering broken boulders and frightening caves the 'parvata shikharaas', Rama Lakshmanas made a systematic search for traces of Devi Sita as dead or alive. dadarśa patitam bhūmau ksatajārdram jatāvusam, tam drstvā giriśŗṅgābham rāmo laksmanam abravīt, anena sītā vaidehī bhaksitā nātra samśayah/grdhrarūpam idam vyaktam rakşo bhramati kānanam, bhakşayitvā viśālākṣīm āste sītām yathāsukham, enam vadhisye dīptāgrair ghorair bānair ajihmagaih/ Then in the nearby distance a huge Pakshi was lying hurt with streams of blood oozing out and fell almost dead. Lakshmana then suspected a huge rakshasa was lying there having eaten off Devi Sita's flesh and blood. Rama with ready ferocity shouted at Lakshmana that he should kill the rakshasa at once and instantly raised his 'dhanur baanaas'. On their stepping forward, they heard the pitiable and extremely low voice of Jatayu: yām osadhim ivāyusmann anvesasi mahāvane, sā devī mama ca prānā rāvanenobhayam hrtam/ tvayā virahitā devī laksmanena ca rāghava, hriyamānā mayā dṛstā rāvanena balīyasā/ sītām abhyavapan no 'ham rāvanas' ca rane mayā, vidhvamsitarathacchatrah pātito dharanītale/ 'Aayushmaan! What ever you both are keenly searching the most precious 'oushadhi' or the herbal medicine Devi Sita was being forcibly abducted by Mahaasura Ravana and instantly I recognised her and ran after his 'vimana' and attacked his chariot at once. I succeeded in destroying his chariot, its 'dhwaja' and hurt the charioteer mercilessly too. In fact, the charioteer attacked my wings but I had cut off his head rolling down. Yet Rayana flew in air holding Devi Sita in his tight grip of his arms and sliced of my both wings and ran away on high skies.' On hearing this sordid narration of Jatayu while breathing last, Rama put down his 'dhanur banas' and so did Lakshmana. But Rama fell down on his knees and cried away: rājyād bhramso vane vāsah sītā nastā hato dvijah, īdṛśīyam mamālaksmīr nirdahed api pāvakam/ sampūrnam api ced adya pratareyam mahodadhim, so'pi nūnam mamālaksmyā visusyet saritām patih/ nāsty abhāgyataro loke matto'smin sacarācare, yeneyam mahatī prāptā mayā vyasanavāgurā/Lakshmana! I am shorn of kingdom, thrown off to forests, and Devi Sita has now learnt as has been forcibly abducted and even the kindest Pakshi Raja Jataayu is dead! What kind of the series of my misfortunes are faced by me as burnt off in devouring flames! If I seek to swim in a maha samudra, then that huge ocean too should get dried up as a cemetery! In this 'charaachara jajat', could there be a worse and most unfortunate human like me sinking away deeply and rapidly! ayam pitrvayasyo me grdhrarājo jarānvitaļi, sete vinihato bhūmau mama bhāgyaviparyayāt/ Even this gigantic Grudhraa Raja the dearmost friend of my father is now lying dead

due entirely my personal misfortune'. So crying away, Shri Rama knelt down and fell on ground heartbroken.

Sarga Sixty Six

Shri Rama performs the 'dahana samskaara' of the Maha Gruddhra Jatayu

Rāmaḥ prekṣya tu taṁ gṛdhraṁ bhuvi raudrena pātitam, saumitrim mitrasampannam idam vacanam abravīt/ mamāyam nūnam arthesu yatamāno vihamgamah, rāksasena hatah samkhye prānāms tyajati dustyajān/ ayam asya śarīre 'smin prāno laksmana vidyate, tathā svaravihīno 'yam viklavam samudīksate/ jatāyo yadi śaknosi vākyam vyāharitum punah, sītām ākhyāhi bhadram te vadham ākhyāhi cātmanah/ kiṁnimitto 'harat sītāṁ rāvanas tasya kiṁ mayā, aparāddhaṁ tu yaṁ drstvā rāvanena hṛtā priyā/ katham tac candrasamkāśam mukham āsīn manoharam, sītayā kāni coktāni tasmin kāle dvijottama/ kathamvīryaḥ kathamrūpaḥ kimkarmā sa ca rākṣasaḥ, kva cāsya bhavanam tāta brūhi me pariprechatah/ tam udvīksvātha dīnātmā vilapantam anantaram, vācātisannavā rāmam jatāvur idam abravīt/sā hṛtā rākṣasendrena rāvaṇena vihāyasā, māyām āsthāya vipulām vātadurdinasamkulām/ pariśrāntasya me tāta pakṣau chittvā niśācaraḥ, sītām ādāya vaidehīm prayāto dakṣiṇā mukhaḥ/ uparudhyanti me prānā drstir bhramati rāghava, paśyāmi yrksān sauvarnān uśīrakrtamūrdhajān/ yena yāti muhūrtena sītām ādāya rāvanah, vipranastam dhanam ksipram tat svāmipratipadyate/ vindo nāma muhūrto 'sau sa ca kākutstha nābudhatc jhaṣavad baḍiśam gṛhya kṣipram eva vinaśyati/ na ca tvayā vvathā kārvā janakasya sutām prati, vaidehyā ramsyase kṣipram hatvā tam rākṣasam raṇe/ asammūdhasya grdhrasya rāmam pratyanubhāṣataḥ, āsyāt susrāva rudhiram mriyamāṇasya sāmiṣam/ putro viśravasah sāksād bhrātā vaiśravanasya ca, ity uktvā durlabhān prānān mumoca patageśvarah/ brūhi brūhīti rāmasya bruvānasya kṛtāñjaleh, tyaktvā śarīram gṛdhrasya jagmuh prānā vihāyasam/ sa niksipya śiro bhūmau prasārya caranau tadā, viksipya ca śarīram svam papāta dharanītale/ tam gṛdhram preksya tāmrāksam gatāsum acalopamam, rāmah subahubhir duhkhair dīnah saumitrim abravīt/ bahūni rakṣasām vāse varṣāṇi vasatā sukham, anena daṇḍakāraṇye vicīrṇam iha pakṣiṇā/ anekavārṣiko yas tu cirakālam samutthitah, so 'vam adva hatah śete kālo hi duratikramah/ paśva laksmana grdhro 'vam upakārī hatas ca me, sītām abhyavapan no vai rāvanena balīvasā/ grdhrarājyam parityajya pitṛpaitāmaham mahat, mama hetor ayam prāṇān mumoca patageśvaraḥ/ sarvatra khalu dṛśyante sādhavo dharmacārinah, śūrāh śaranyāh saumitre tiryagyonigatesv api/ sītāharanajam duhkham na me saumya tathāgatam, yathā vināśo grdhrasya matkrte ca paramtapa/ rājā daśarathah śrīmān yathā mama mayā yaśāh, pūjanīyaś ca mānyaś ca tathāyam patageśvarah/saumitre hara kāsthāni nirmathisyāmi pāvakam, grdhrarājam didhaksāmi matkrte nidhanam gatam/ nātham patagalokasya citām āropayāmy aham, imam dhakṣyāmi saumitre hatam raudreṇa rakṣasā/ yā gatir yajñaśīlānām āhitāgneś ca yā gatiḥ, aparāvartinām yā ca yā ca bhūmipradāyinām/ mayā tvam samanujñāto gaccha lokān anuttamān, gṛdhrarāja mahāsattva saṃskṛtaś ca mayā vraja/ evam uktvā citām dīptām āropya patageśvaram, dadāha rāmo dharmātmā svabandhum iva duhkhitah/rāmo 'tha sahasaumitrir vanam vātvā sa vīrvavān, sthūlān hatvā mahārohīn anu tastāra tam dvijam/rohimāmsāni coddhrtya peśīkrtvā mahāyaśāh, śakunāya dadau rāmo ramye haritaśādvale/ yat tat pretasya martyasya kathayanti dvijātayaḥ, tat svargagamanam tasya ksipram rāmo jajāpa ha/ tato godāvarīm gatvā nadīm naravarātmajau/ udakam cakratus tasmai grdhrarājāya tāv ubhau sa grdhrarājah krtavān yaśaskaram; suduṣkaram karma raṇe nipātitah, maharsikalpena ca samskrtas tadā; jagāma punyām gatim ātmanah śubhām/ ayam pitrvayasyo me grdhrarājo jarānvitah, sete vinihato bhūmau mama bhāgyaviparyayāt/

As maha rakshasa Ravana felled Jataayu to earth, Shri Rama addressed Lakshkmana recalled Jataayu's offer of any help: 'tasmāj jāto 'ham aruṇāt sampātiś ca mamāgrajaḥ, jaṭāyur iti mām viddhi śyenīputram arimdama/ so 'ham vāsasahāyas te bhaviṣyāmi yadīcchasi, sītām ca tāta rakṣiṣye tvayi yāte salakṣmaṇe/ jaṭāyuṣam tu pratipūjya rāghavo; mudā pariṣvajya ca samnato 'bhavat; pitur hi śuśrāva sakhitvam ātmavāñ; jaṭāyuṣā samkathitam punaḥ punaḥ/Raghuveera! From that Vinataanandana Aruna, I was born and so did my elder brother Sampaati and in short my name is Jataayu! I am the son of Shyenka.

May I be of any help in creating an ashram for you or to protect Devi Sita in the absence of you and Lakshmana!' So saying Jatayu offered any kind of service to Ramas wholeheartedly'. [Ref the previous Sarga Fourteen] Rama further stated: mamāyam nūnam arthesu yatamāno vihamgamah, rāksasena hatah samkhye prāṇāms tyajati dustyajān/ Brother Lakshmana! This Maha Garuda Pakshi has certainly risked its life as of his own responsibility on my behalf. Its breathing is halting and is precariouly critical. Then Rama addressed Jatayu: If only you could even whisper to me, what is Sita's condition and why did he decide to forcibly kidnap her! What was the cruel form of the Rakshasa and where is his place of residence! Please reply! Then Jatayu replied in almost inaudible and low voice: sā hrtā rāksasendrena rāvanena vihāyasā, māyām āsthāya vipulām vātadurdinasamkulām/ pariśrāntasya me tāta paksau chittvā niśācarah, sītām ādāya vaidehīm prayāto daksinā mukhah/ Raghu nandana: Duratma Rakshasa Raja Ravana assumed the 'maya'- mesmorism-and created a sweep of sand-dune and escaped with Devi Sita even as he was in a state of frenzy. I resisted his effort relentlessly fighting and forcibly taken her away towards the southern direction. Raghu Nandana! My vital energies are closing to tick any further and my eye's vision is blurring. But Rama! na ca tvayā vyathā kāryā janakasya sutām prati, vaidehyā ramsyase ksipram hatvā tam rāksasam rane/ asammūdhasva grdhrasva rāmam pratvanubhāsatah, āsvāt susrāva rudhiram mriyamāṇasya sāmiṣam/ putro viśravasaḥ sākṣād bhrātā vaiśravaṇasya ca, ity uktvā durlabhān prāṇān mumoca patageśvarah/ never worry about the welfare of Janka nandini Devi Sita. You should soon secure her most certainly and spend happy times soon enough in green flowery gardens' Even while dying Jatayu's voice though in hushed tone was clear enough as though her throat was stuck with a piece of meat and he further whispered: 'Ravana is the son of Visravas and the own brother of Kubera the Yaksha Raja!' Then Shri Rama desired to secure further information from Jatayu, but by then his head dropped down to earth and then the gigantic bird beathed its last. Then Rama addressed Lakshmana! This ever grateful Pakishi Raja appears to have lived in this dandakaranya for several years now despite the pressure of Rakshasaas and had his glorious death. paśya laksmana grdhro 'yam upakārī hataś ca me, sītām abhyavapan no vai rāvanena balīyasā/ gṛdhrarājyam parityajya pitṛpaitāmaham mahat, mama hetor ayam prānān mumoca patageśvarah/ Dear brother! Do please note that this Jatayu is so ever grateful worthy friend- philosopher- and guide literally. This Maha Veera had waged such a desperate battle against a Maha Rakshasa Ravana and sacrificed life for my sake. sarvatra khalu drśvante sādhavo dharmacārinah, śūrāh śaranyāh saumitre tirvagyonigatesv api/ sītāharanajam duhkham na me saumya tathāgatam, yathā vināśo grdhrasya matkrte ca paraintapa/Please note that brave, courageous, sharanaagata- dharma parayanas are born in all the species in creation even born to pashu pakshis too daring to sacrifice their very existence! Believe me! at this moment of life, I feel as much distressed by Jatayu's tragic end as that of missing Devi Sita. Do trust me that my gratitued for Jatayu is comparable to my love for King Dasharatha. Sumitra nandana! Please fetch me dried tree roots and keeping a fire pot on my head I shall perform dahana samskara to the body of this glorious Gruddhra Raja! Having stated tearfully, Rama addressed the body of Jatayu: yā gatir yajñaśīlānām āhitāgneś ca yā gatih, aparāvartinām yā ca yā ca bhūmipradāyinām/ mayā tvam samanujñāto gaccha lokān anuttamān, grdhrarāja mahāsattva sainskrtas ca mavā vraja/ Maha balashaali Grudhra Raja! As those who are of the status of relentlessly executing yagina karmas, regular Agnihotris, great warriers who never displayed their backs on battle fields and performers of bhu-go-daana kartas do always may await the ready opening gates of veera swargas. Mahatma Jatayu by this daaha samskaara to attain the well deserved sadgati praapti.'

[Vishleshana on Dahana samskara for human beings is vividly explained vide Sarga Seventy Six of Essence of Valmiki Ayodhya Ramayana: 'You the Pretaatma' as enclosed with the 'kavacha' or the shield of Agni Deva who is merely turning only your body parts to ashes but not your true self whish indeed is everlasting. Hence Agni is merely clearing the mess of your body! Agni Deva! you may consume the deadbody along with his heart, pancha koshas or Five Sheaths of the body called Annamaya (Physical Energy), Praanamaya (Vital Energy), Manomaya (Mental Faculty), Vigyanamaya (Buddhi or Sharpness of Discrimination) and Ananda maya (Bliss) only but thereafter kindly despatch the 'Jeevatma'- Inner Being- safely to the Loka of His forefathers the Pitru Loka. Agni Deva, when you render the jeevatma

fully rid of the memories of the erstwhile life, then That becomes rendered fit with a fresh form subject to the will of Devas. Preta swarupa! Let your vision see Surya Deva, your breath to Vayu Deva! As per your destiny and the fund of your 'sukrita phala', you may reach swarga, or back to earth or waters. In case you are destined to return as vegetation, then you shall do precisely the same swarupa once again. - Rig Veda 10-16.-3. Referring to the stanza: Suryam chakshurgacchatu yaatamaatmaa, dyocha gaccha prithiveem cha dharmanaa, apo vaa gaccha yaditram te hitam, oushadheeshu pratrim tishthaa shareerereh/ as explained, Chhandogya Upanishad 5.10.6 explains: Abhram bhutwaa megho bhavati megho bhutwaa pravarshati taiha veehiyayaa oshadhiyanaspatyah tila-maasha iti jaayant, ato yai khalu durnispra pataram, yo yohyannam atti yo retaah sinchati, tad bhuya eva bhavati/(In the further travel of the Soul from white clouds to thick black clouds to rains, the same is born as paddy, barley, herbs, sesmum, black pulses and so on. Now, the release of the concerned paddy or pulse is also destined as per the time of its release from the shell to kernel; similarly the cycle of food intake from an insect to a bird or to a reptile to an animal or human being is destined likewise). The next stanzas 6.1.22 -23: Ajobhaaga stapasa tam tapasva-- and Ayam vai tvamsmaadabhi/ are as addressed to Jaataveda: 'Agni Deva! having burnt off the body totally, may the physical aspects of the human being been burnt off totally, may the subtle body as the Jeevatma be carried to the wide world of the Devas of virtuel

There after the dahana samskaara, the Rama brothers had faithfully covered dried leave heaps and having dug up earth deep placed the body remains and provided a neat covering paved the area. There after, they had sincerely performed pinda daana by reciting the appropriate mantras besides executed jalaanjali tarpanas in favour of the peaceful soul. There after Rama Lakshmanas stepped forward for 'Sitaanveshana' in all earnestness.

Sarga Sixty Seven

Nasty encounter with Athomukha and blind Rakshasi Kabandha who caught Rama Lakshmanas by its long and surrounding arms within a huge embrace seeking to eat their flesh

Kṛtvaivam udakam tasmai prasthitau rāghavau tadā, avekṣantau vane sītām paścimām jagmatur diśam/ tām diśam dakṣiṇām gatvā śaracāpāsidhāriṇau, aviprahatam aikṣvākau panthānam pratipedatuḥ/ gulmair vrksaiś ca bahubhir latābhiś ca pravestitam, āvrtam sarvato durgam gahanam ghoradarśanam/ vyatikramya tu vegena grhītvā daksinām diśam, subhīmam tan mahāranyam vyatiyātau mahābalau/ tatah param janasthānāt trikrośam gamya rāghavau, krauñcāranyam viviśatur gahanam tau mahaujasau/ nānāmeghaghanaprakhyam prahṛstam iva sarvatah, nānāvarnaih śubhaih puspair mṛgapaksiganair yutam/ didṛkṣamāṇau vaidehīm tad vanam tau vicikyatuḥ, tatra tatrāvatiṣṭhantau sītāharaṇakarśitau/ lakşmanas tu mahātejāḥ sattvavāñ śīlavāñ śuciḥ, abravīt prāñjalir vākyam bhrātaram dīptatejasam/ spandate me dṛḍham bāhur udvignam iva me manaḥ, prāyaśaś cāpy aniṣṭāni nimittāny upalakṣaye/ tasmāt sajjībhavārva tvam kurusva vacanam hitam, mamaiva hi nimittāni sadvah śamsanti sambhramam/ esa vañculako nāma paksī paramadārunah, āvayor vijayam vuddhe śamsann iva vinardati/ tayor anveṣator evam sarvam tad vanam ojasā, samjajñe vipulaḥ śabdaḥ prabhañjann iva tad vanam/ samvestitam ivātyartham gahanam mātariśvanā, vanasya tasya śabdo 'bhūd divam āpūrayann iva/ tam śabdam kānksamānas tu rāmah kakse sahānujah, dadarśa sumahākāyam rāksasam vipulorasam/ āsedatus tatas tatra tāv ubhau pramukhe sthitam, vivrddham aśirogrīvam kabandham udare mukham/ romabhir nicitais tīkṣṇair mahāgirim ivocchritam, nīlameghanibham raudram meghastanitaniḥsvanam/ mahāpakṣmeṇa pingena vipulenāyatena ca, ekenorasi ghoreṇa nayanenāśudarśinā/ mahādamṣṭropa pannam tam lelihānam mahāmukham, bhakṣayantam mahāghorān ṛkṣasimhamṛgadvipān/ ghorau bhujau vikurvāṇam ubhau yojanam āyatau, karābhyām vividhān grhya rṣkān pakṣigaṇān mrgāna/ ākarṣantam vikarsantam anekān mṛgayūthapān, sthitam āvṛtya panthānam tayor bhrātroh prapannayoh/ atha tau samatikramya krośamātre dadarśatuh, mahāntam dārunam bhīmam kabandham bhujasamyṛtam/ sa mahābāhur atyartham prasārya vipulau bhujau, jagrāha sahitāv eva rāghavau pīḍayan balāt/ khaḍginau drdhadhanvānau tigmatejau mahābhujau, bhrātarau vivasam prāptau krsvamānau mahābalau/ tāv uvāca mahābāhuḥ kabandho dānavottamaḥ, kau yuvām vṛṣabhaskandhau mahākhaḍgadhanurdharau/ ghoram deśam imam prāptau mama bhakṣāv upasthitau, vadatam kāryam iha vām kimartham cāgatau yuvām/ imam deśam anuprāptau kṣudhārtasyeha tiṣṭhataḥ, sabāṇacāpakhaḍgau ca tīkṣṇaśṛṅgāv ivarṣabhau, mamāsyam anusamprāptau durlabham jīvitam punaḥ/ tasya tadvacanam śrutvā kabandhasya durātmanaḥ, uvāca lakṣmaṇam rāmo mukhena pariśuṣyatā/ kṛcchrāt kṛcchrataram prāpya dāruṇam satyavikrama, vyasanam jīvitāntāya prāptam aprāpya tām priyām/ kālasya sumahad vīryam sarvabhūteṣu lakṣmaṇa, tvām ca mām ca naravyāghra vyasanaiḥ paśya mohitau, nātibhāro 'sti daivasya sarvabhuteṣu lakṣmaṇa/ śūrāś ca balavantaś ca kṛtāstrāś ca raṇājire, kālābhipannāḥ sīdanti yathā vālukasetavaḥ/ iti bruvāṇo dṛḍhasatyavikramo; mahāyaśā dāśarathiḥ pratāpavān, avekṣya saumitrim udagravikramam; sthirām tadā svām matim ātmanākarot/

As Rama Lakashmanas duly performed Maha Gruddhhra Jataayu, Rama Lakshmanas proceeded with dhanush-baana-khadgaas towards south western direction based maha- aranyas where no normal beings including even wild and fierce animals could ever dare to enter. Speedily seeking to cross then specific part of the thick inaccessible jungle, named as 'kounchaaranya', still brooding the irreparable loss of Devi Sita from the cruel clutches of Ravanasura, they came across a dark and unentereble deep cave full of pitch darkness and winessed a strange and readily frightening species of creation. .Bhayadaam alpasatvaanaam bheebhatsaam roudradarshanaam, lambodareem trrkshna damshtraam karaaleem purushatvacham/Bhakyanteem mrigaan bheemaan vikataam muktamoordhajaam, avaiksataam tu tou tatra bhraatarou Rama Lakshmanou/ That bizzare and wierd specimen of creation with fiery looks and terrifying roars was of huge and protruded belly and thick body hides. It appears to draw frightful wild beasts and push them right inside its stomach. The animal having sensed two humans outside its cave and addressed Rama Lakshmanas and shrieked roaringly and signalled with its glances indicating: 'come let us play'! Having come nearer, the human formed beast drew Lakshmana nearer and held his hand with a tight and powerful grip roared: Aham tvayomukhi naama laabhaste tvayaamasi priyah, naatha parvata durgeshu nadeenaam pulineshu cha,aayuscharamidam veera tvam mayaa saha ramyase/ 'My name is Athomukhi! You may consider me as your wife and play with me the game of love all over these water falls and forests nearby.' Evamastu kupitah khadghamududdhrastya Lakshmanah, karna naasa stanam tasyaa nichakartaaririsudanah/As the rakshasi stated thus, Lakshmana was enraged fiercefully and having lifted his sword into his potent grip severed the rakshasi's ears, nose and breasts. Then the rakshasi screamed with pain loudly and ran helter skelter. Then Rama Lakshmanas were defensive too and hid themselves inside the deep forests. But: Lakshmana realised that there was a very tight grip his left wrist and screamed with writhing pain and shouted at Rama loudly. 'Brother! I am literally frightened and visualise extremely evil bad omens right now as a bird named Vanjul has started squeaking. Then arrived a huge sand storm making thunderouds gales. Rama raised his sword and expanded his broad chest. tam śabdam kānkṣamāṇas tu rāmaḥ kakṣe sahānujaḥ, dadarśa sumahākāyam rākṣasam vipulorasam/ āsedatus tatas tatra tāv ubhau pramukhe sthitam, vivrddham aśirogrīvam kabandham udare mukham/As there was a thud like sound and they discovered a gigantic rakshasa standing before them. His body frame was collosal no doubt but has niether a head nor a throat. Kabandha was like a huge pot and his mouth inside his stomach! He was like a huge mountain with body hairs were like tall trees. His body colour was like thick black clouds and his sounds were like roaring cloud bursts..mahāpaksmena pingena vipulenāyatena ca, ekenorasi ghorena nayanenāśudarśinā/ mahādamstropa -pannam tam lelihānam mahāmukham, bhaksayantam mahāghorān rksasimhamrgadvipān/ghorau bhujau vikurvānam ubhau yojanam āyatau, karābhyām vividhān grhya rṣkān pakṣigaṇān mṛgāna/On his huge chest itself was his face and like looming and flashing flames were his eyes with piercing looks. This mountanous rakshasa's food intake was of cattle, wild boars, huge birds, and a variety of jungle animals drawn near into his stomach directly since his mouth-tongue and face were non existent. But the Rakshasa's hand reach was enormous nearing very long distances of miles. This Rakshasa was known as Kabandha as his stomach was shaped like an enormous pot. The Rakshasa approached Rama Lakshmanas and blocked their way. sa mahābāhur atyartham prasārya vipulau bhujau, jagrāha sahitāv eva rāghavau pīḍayan balāt/ khaḍginau drdhadhanyānau tigmatejau mahābhujau, bhrātarau vivasam prāptau krsvamānau mahābalau/At that

time, the Maha Baahu Rakshasa had stopped the movement of Rama Lakshmanas by extending his enormous hand reach and encircled them drawing them towards his gigantic pot like belly by vigourous force and strength. Both Rama Lakshmanas was nodoubt were equipped with long, strong and mighty swords on their strong arms. Maha bali Lakshmana was however appeared to have somewhy slipped his grip of the sword and shouted Rama for help desparately/ Uvaachah vishannah san raghavam Raghavaanujah, pasyamaam vivasham veera raakshasaya vashamgatam/Mayaikena tu niryuktah parimucchyasva raghava, maam hi bhutabalim datvaa palaayasva yathaasukham/ Rama's youngr brother Lakshmana got really concerned then that he was slipping his grip away under the control of the rakshasa. Raghunandana! Do please help me from the strong and tight grip of the rakshasa; lest I might be a casuality and sacrifice to this bhuta rakshasa. Then Shri Rama had Lakshmana cooled down and assured that due to small and momentary slip of Lakshmana's brave and heavy grip could never witness a defeat for a great veera like him! Then Kabandha them both heckled both thunderously: 'you foolish ' manayas'! Who are you both! I am fortunate to spot both of you standing like great heros with 'dhanush baanaas' and playfull swords! Worry not, I would relish you both of you! I am extremely hungry too.' As Kabandha said so, Shri Rama addressed Lakshmana: 'we have passed through the hardest lives so far and faced several upheavals and now the absence of Devi Sita has capped up all these crises of existence; are you noticing that 'kaala chakra' has been constantly hounding us with the upheavals and visissitudes. Now it is becoming more and more impossible to resist the flow of misfortunes.' Having thus yielded to the pull of 'kaala maana', Rama Lashmanas by them selves straightened and pulled up their grit and inner selves once again with extraordinary willpower!

Sarga Sixty Eight

By the enormous force of their sheer grit and decisiveness and of mutual consultations, Rama Lakshmanas severed both the mighty shoulders of Kabandha

Tau tu tatra sthitau dṛṣṭvā bhrātarau rāmalakṣmaṇau, bāhupāśaparikṣiptau kabandho vākyam abravīt/
tiṣṭhataḥ kim nu mām dṛṣṭvā kṣudhārtam kṣatriyarṣabhau, āhārārtham tu samdiṣṭau daivena gatacetasau/
tac chrutvā lakṣmaṇo vākyam prāptakālam hitam tadā, uvācārtisamāpanno vikrame kṛtaniścayaḥ/ tvām
ca mām ca purā tūrṇam ādatte rākṣasādhamaḥ, tasmād asibhyām asyāśu bāhū chindāvahe gurū/ tatas
tau deśakālajñau khadgābhyām eva rāghavau, acchindatām susamhṛṣṭau bāhū tasyāmsadeśayoḥ/
dakṣiṇo dakṣiṇam bāhum asaktam asinā tataḥ, ciccheda rāmo vegena savyam vīras tu lakṣmaṇaḥ/ sa
papāta mahābāhuś chinnabāhur mahāsvanaḥ, kham ca gām ca diśaś caiva nādayañ jalado yathā/ sa
nikṛttau bhujau dṛṣṭvā śoṇitaughapariplutaḥ, dīnaḥ papraccha tau vīrau kau yuvām iti dānavaḥ/ iti tasya
bruvāṇasya lakṣmaṇaḥ śubhalakṣaṇaḥ, śaśamsa tasya kākutstham kabandhasya mahābalaḥ/ ayam
ikṣvākudāyādo rāmo nāma janaiḥ śrutaḥ, asyaivāvarajam viddhi bhrātaram mām ca lakṣmaṇam/ asya
devaprabhāvasya vasato vijane vane, rakṣasāpahṛtā bhāryā yām icchantāv ihāgatau/ tvam tu ko vā
kimartham vā kabandha sadṛśo vane, āsyenorasi dīptena bhagnajaṅgho viceṣṭase/ evam uktaḥ kabandhas
tu lakṣmaṇenottaram vacaḥ, uvāca paramaprītas tad indravacanam smaran/ svāgatam vām
naravyāghrau diṣṭyā paśyāmi cāpy aham, diṣṭyā cemau nikṛttau me yuvābhyām bāhubandhanau/ virūpam
yac ca me rūpam prāptam hy avinayād yathā, tan me śṛṇu naravyāghra tattvataḥ śamsatas tava/

Having noticed that both Rama Lakshmanas were miseralby caught in his long and strong hands, Rakshasa Kabandha tauntingly heckled the brothers: 'Kshatriya shiromani Rajakumaras! As I am hungry you are awaiting my green signal to die now for me! Come near to my mouth as you have been finally despatched by Gods and your intelligence has failed! Most suddenly Rama sprang a surprise to Lakshmana silently and hinted: *Nishchestaanaam vadhyo Rajan kutsito jagateepateh, kratumadhyopa neeti naam pashunaamiva Raghava*/ Raghu nandana: in the yagjnas, the 'nischeshta praanis' or suddenly surprised cattle get their feet sliced off but not killed out right! The obvious hint is: 'brother! do severe the shoulders of the Rakashasa with a severe shot each but spare his life yet! *sa papāta mahābāhuś chinnabāhur mahāsvanah, khaṁ ca gāṁ ca diśaś caiva nādayañ jalado yathā*/ As both the shoulders of

Kabandha Rakshasa were suddenly severed, he shouted at high pitch as though there were sudden cloud bursts reverberating the 'dasha dishaas' or ten directions of the universe. Then as the Rakshasa fell down to earth, even he was bleeding excessively and suffering excruciating pain, he enquired of Rama Lakshmanas: 'Maha Veeraas!who are you both! Then Lakshmana introduced Shri Rama as the great son of King Dasharatha and that that he was his faithful younger brother. Mother and the dearmost queen Devi Kaikeyi stalled Shri Rama's rajyabhishaka and as per our father's directive, he had been undergoing forest life and his wife Devi Sita too accompanied her husband. Unfortunately a Maha Asura had succeeded in abducting Devi Sita a maha pativrata. Now you Rakshasa! Who are you! How is it that your stomach is hanging above your face and thighs! Despite the pain of his severed shoulders, the Rakshasa was reminded of Indra's curse and replied: Purusha simhaas! My shoulders were my unusual hindrances and fotunately they have just fallen to dust! Nara shreshtha Shri Rama! I should now describe as to how had I my vikrita swarupa or the strange body formation had occurred!

Sarga Sixty Nine

Tormented by Sthula Rishi, Karbandha got 'vikrita rupa' but he performed tapsya to Brahma for deerghaayu, attacked Indra and vajraayudha's hit raised his stomach over body, now relieved by Rama Lakshmanas.

Purā rāma mahābāho mahābalaparākrama, rūpam āsīn mamācintyam trisu lokesu viśrutam, yathā somasya śakrasya sūryasya ca yathā vapuḥ/ so 'ham rūpam idam krtvā lokavitrāsanam mahat, ṛṣīn vanagatān rāma trāsayāmi tatas tatah/ tatah sthūlasirā nāma maharsih kopito mayā, samcinvan vividham vanyam rūpenānena dharsitah/ tenāham uktah preksyaivam ghoraśāpābhidhāyinā, etad eva nrśamsam te rūpam astu vigarhitam/ sa mayā yācitah kruddhah śāpasyānto bhaved iti, abhiśāpakṛtasyeti tenedam bhāsitam vacah/ yadā chittvā bhujau rāmas tvām dahed vijane vane, tadā tvam prāpsyase rūpam svam eva vipulam śubham/ śriyā virājitam putram danos tvam viddhi laksmana, indrakopād idam rūpam prāptam evam raṇājire/aham hi tapasogreṇa pitāmaham atoṣayam, dīrgham āyuḥ sa me prādāt tato mām vibhramo 'sprśat dīrgham āvur mavā prāptam kim me śakrah karisvati, ity evam buddhim āsthāva rane śakram adharsayam/ tasya bāhupramuktena yajrena śataparyanā, sakthinī ca śiraś caiya śarīre sampraveśitam/ sa mayā yācyamānaḥ sann ānayad yamasādanam, pitāmahavacaḥ satyam tad astv iti mamābravīt/ anāhārah katham śakto bhagnasakthiśiromukhah, vajrenābhihatah kālam sudīrgham api jīvitum/ evam uktas tu me śakro bāhū vojanam āvatau, prādād āsvam ca me kuksau tīksnadamstram akalpayat/ so 'ham bhujābhyām dīrghābhyām samākrsya vanecarān, simhadvipamrgavyāghrān bhaksayāmi samantatah/ sa tu mām abravīd indro yadā rāmah salaksmanah, chetsyate samare bāhū tadā svargam gamişyasi/ sa tvam rāmo 'si bhadram te nāham anyena rāghava, śakyo hantum yathātattvam evam uktam maharşiṇā/ aham hi matisācivyam karişyāmi nararşabha, mitram caivopadeksyāmi yuvābhyām samskīto 'gninā/ evam uktas tu dharmātmā danunā tena rāghavaḥ, idam jagāda vacanam laksmanasvopaśrnyatah/ rāyanena hrtā sītā mama bhāryā yaśasyinī, niskrāntasya janasthānāt saha bhrātrā vathāsukham/ nāmamātram tu jānāmi na rūpam tasva raksasah, nivāsam vā prabhāvam vā vayam tasya na vidmahe/śokārtānām anāthānām evam viparidhāvatām, kāruṇyam sadṛśam kartum upakāre ca vartatām/ kāsthāny ānīya śuskāni kāle bhagnāni kuñjaraih, bhaksyāmas tvām vayam vīra śvabhre mahati kalpite/ sa tvam sītām samācaksva yena vā yatra vā hrtā, kuru kalyānam atyartham yadi jānāsi tattvatah/ evam uktas tu rāmena vākvam danur anuttamam, provāca kuśalo vaktum vaktāram api rāghavam/ divyam asti na me jñānam nābhijānāmi maithilīm, yas tām jñāsyati tam vakṣye dagdhaḥ svam rūpam āsthitaḥ/ adagdhasya hi vijñātum śaktir asti na me prabho, rākṣasam tam mahāvīryam sītā yena hṛtā tava/ vijñānam hi mahad bhrastam śāpadoṣeṇa rāghava, svakṛtena mayā prāptam rūpam lokavigarhitam/ kim tu yāvan na yāty astam savitā śrāntavāhanah, tāvan mām avate kṣiptvā daha rāma yathāvidhi/ dagdhas tvayāham avate nyāyena raghunandana, vaksyāmi tam aham vīra yas tam jñāsyati rāksasam/ tena sakhyam ca kartavyam nyāyyavrttena rāghava, kalpayisyati te prītah sāhāyyam laghuvikramah/ na hi tasyāsty avijñātam trisu lokesu rāghava, sarvān parisrto lokān purā vai kāranāntare/

Kabandha narrates his 'atma katha' the autobiography to Rama Lakshmanas stating that in the distant past he was a Maha Rakshasa of notoriety terrifying Maharshis. As the Rakshasa assumed a huge and intolerable form, sought to terrify a Rishi named Sthulashira, the Rishi was angry and cursed him to assume that hideous form for ever: tenāham uktah preksyaiyam ghoraśāpābhidhāyinā, etad eva nṛśamsam te rūpam astu vigarhitam/ sa mayā yācitaḥ kruddhaḥ śāpasyānto bhaved iti, abhiśāpakṛtasyeti tenedam bhāṣitam vacaḥ/ yadā chittvā bhujau rāmas tvām dahed vijane vane, tadā tvam prāpsyase rūpam svam eva vipulam śubham/ Rakshasa! You continue this very nasty swarupa for ever till you die. Then Kabandha was afraid of the consequent form and requested for relief and then the Rishi forevisioned to say that only when Rama Lakshmanas the epic heros should get caught by you and then finally slice off both of your shoulders, then you would attain 'mukti'. As Kabandha since became the vikrita swarupa as a result of the Maha Munis's 'shaapa', the Rakshasa was mellowed down and undertook severest possible tapasya to Brahma Deva. In turn, Brahma was pleased and granted the Rakshasa's wish for longevity. indrakopād idam rūpam prāptam evam ranājire/aham hi tapasogrena pitāmaham atosayam, dīrgham āyuh sa me prādāt tato mām vibhramo 'sprsat' dīrgham āyur mayā prāptam kim me sakrah karisyati, ity evam buddhim āsthāya raņe śakram adharşayam/Then Kabandha having secured Brahma Deva's blessing for longevity, his demonic instinct was puffed up and attacked Lord Devendra himself. Tasya baahu pramukttena vajrena Shataparnaa, savuthnee cha shiraschaiva shareere sampaveshitam/ Devendra then threw away his peerless 'vajraayudha' and as a result, Maha Rakshasa Kabandha's lower body portion got upside down! anāhāraḥ katham śakto bhagnasakthiśiromukhaḥ, vajreṇābhihataḥ kālam sudīrgham api jīvitum/ evam uktas tu me śakro bāhū yojanam āyatau, prādād āsyam ca me kukṣau tīkṣṇadaṁṣṭram akalpayat/ Then I asked Indra: Deva Raja! You had utilised your invincible 'vajyayutha'and consequently, my very physical form changed transformed; how could I survive without food while Brahma blessed me with longevity. so 'ham bhujābhyām dīrghābhyām samākṛsya vanecarān, simhadvipamṛgavyāghrān bhaksayāmi samantatah/Then Indra Deva helped me to extend my both the arms by a yojana each so that the streach of the hands could be conveniently extended so that the food could reach right into the mouth! sa tu mām abravīd indro yadā/ rāmaḥ salakṣmaṇaḥ, chetsyate samare bāhū tadā svargam gamisvasi/ Indra further fore visioned that Rama Lakshmana's would get caught in the grip of the rakshasa but theywould severe the Rakshasa's shouldersand get relieved for mukti. Having thus narrated his 'atma katha', Kabandha then requested Rama Lakshmanas's to help him with 'daaha samskaara' as he was dying of his toture of broken shoulders. He further assured to help him with signifiant clues in their further missions of life. Then Shri Rama informed Kabandha: rāvanena hrtā sītā mama bhāryā yaśasvinī, niskrāntasya janasthānāt saha bhrātrā yathāsukham/ nāmamātram tu jānāmi na rūpam tasya raksasah, nivāsam vā prabhāvam vā vayam tasya na vidmahe/ śokārtānām anāthānām evam viparidhāvatām, kārunyam sadrśam kartum upakāre ca vartatām/ Kabandha! Ravanasura had forcibly abducted my wife Devi Sita an ideal pativrata. He decieved Lakshmana by hoax cries imitating my voice. I have never seen nor encountered him. Where does he live is not yet known to me. But Devi Sita must be harassed by that maha rakshasa. If you could provide some clues about him, we should be thankful to you. As you are now dying away out of toture of broken shoulders, be reat assured that we should perform fitting cremation to let your body be laid and Soul be peaceful properly. sa tvam sītām samācaksva yena vā yatra vā hrtā, kuru kalyānam atyartham yadi jānāsi tattvatah/ But now tell us if you could tell us if you could provide any information about Devi Sita or the villian Ravanasura'. Then the dying and soon disappearing Soul of Kabandha seemed to have commented: divyam asti na me jñānam nābhijānāmi maithilīm, yas tām jñāsyati tam vaksye dagdhah svam rūpam āsthitah/ adagdhasya hi vijñātum śaktir asti na me prabho, rākṣasam tam mahāvīryam sītā yena hṛtā tava/Shri Rama; at this very moment, my awareness of Devi Sita and of Ravana remains hiddden; once, my dead body is rested in flames, then only my 'anratatma' could reveal all the details!

Sarga Seventy

As Kabandha Rakshas's mortal remains secured 'daah samskara' by Rama Lakshmanas, his celestial form reveals details of Ravana vs Sita and advises Rama's friendship with the exiled Vaanara King Sugriva

Evam uktau tu tau vīrau kabandhena nareśvarau, giripradaram āsādya pāvakam visasarjatuh/ lakṣmaṇas tu maholkābhir įvalitābhih samantatah, citām ādīpayām āsa sā prajajvāla sarvatah/ tac charīram kabandhasya ghṛtapiṇḍopamam mahat, medasā pacyamānasya mandam dahati pāvaka/ sa vidhūya citām āśu vidhūmo 'gnir ivotthitaḥ, araje vāsasī vibhran mālām divyām mahābalaḥ/ tataś citāyā vegena bhāsvaro virajāmbaraḥ, utpapātāśu samhrstah sarvapratyangabhūṣaṇaḥ/ vimāne bhāsvare tisthan hamsayukte yasaskare, prabhayā ca mahātejā diso dasa virājayan/ so 'ntarikṣagato rāmam kabandho vākyam abravīt, śṛnu rāghava tattvena yathā sīmām avāpsyasi/ rāma sad yuktayo loke yābhih sarvam vimrśyate, parimrsto daśāntena daśābhāgena sevyate/ daśābhāgagato hīnas tvam rāma sahalaksmanah, yat kṛte vyasanam prāptam tvayā dārapradharsanam/ tad avasyam tvayā kāryah sa suhṛt suhṛdām vara, akṛtvā na hi te siddhim aham paśyāmi cintayan/śrūyatām rāma vakṣyāmi sugrīvo nāma vānaraḥ, bhrātrā nirastah kruddhena vālinā śakrasūnunā/ rsyamūke girivare pampāparyantaśobhite, nivasaty ātmavān vīraś caturbhiḥ saha vānaraiḥ/ vayasyam tam kuru kṣipram ito gatvādya rāghava,adrohāya samāgamya dīpyamāne vibhāvasau/ na ca te so 'vamantavyaḥ sugrīvo vānarādhipaḥ, kṛtajñaḥ kāmarūpī ca sahāyārthī ca vīryavān/ śaktau hy adya yuvām kartum kāryam tasya cikīrṣitam, kṛtārtho vākṛtārtho vā kṛtyam tava karisyati/ sa ṛksarajasah putrah pampām atati śankitah, bhāskarasyaurasah putro vālinā kṛtakilbisah/ samnidhāyāyudham ksipram ṛsyamūkālayam kapim, kuru rāghava satyena vayasyam vanacāriṇam/ sa hi sthānāni sarvāṇi kārtsnyena kapikuñjaraḥ, naramāmsāśinām loke naipuṇyād adhigacchati/ na tasyāviditam loke kim cid asti hi rāghava, yāvat sūryaḥ pratapati sahasrāmsur arimdama/ sa nadīr vipulāñ śailān giridurgāņi kandarān, anvisya vānaraiḥ sārdham patnīm te 'dhigamişyati/ vānarām's ca mahākāyān preşayişyati rāghava, diso vicetum tām sītām tvadviyogena śocatīm/ sa meruśrngāgragatām aninditām; praviśya pātālatale 'pi vāśritām, plavamgamānām pravaras tava priyām; nihatya raksāmsi punah pradāsyati/

As declared that Kabandha finally collapsed dead, a huge ditch was dug up, placed the gigantic body and burnt off the mortal remains to flames peacefully. sa vidhūya citām āśu vidhūmo 'gnir ivotthitaḥ, araje vāsasī vibhran mālām divyām mahābalaḥ/ tataś citāyā vegena bhāsvaro virajāmbaraḥ, utpapātāśu samhṛṣṭaḥ sarvapratyaṅgabhūṣaṇaḥ/ vimāne bhāsvare tiṣṭhan haṁsayukte yaśaskare, prabhayā ca mahātejā diśo daśa virājayan/ Then Mahabali Kabandha shook off the ashes of the totally burnt off body and was visioned to have alighted a celestial vimana with clean robes smilingly and addressed Raghu nandana and declared: rāma ṣaḍ yuktayo loke yābhiḥ sarvam vimṛṣṣyate, parimṛṣṭo daśāntena daśābhāgena sevyate/ Shri Rama! Listen to me carefully: there are six ways and means of accomplishing Six 'Neeti Chandrikas' viz. Sandhi-Vigraha-Yaana-Aasana-Dwidhi bhaava-and samaashraya. Sandhi denotes the Principle of Truce, Tolerance and Coexistene. Vigraha refers to conflict of similar forces leading to balance of power. Yaana suggests travel or momement of forces for attaack-aasana or tishtha the waiting period-dwividha of bheda bhaava or break up of friendship by similar forces of the enemies and finally 'samashraya' or the celebrations of victory of togetherness.

[Vishleshana on Neeti Chandrika in Telugu language as transated into English as the Essence of Neeti Chandrika vide the website of kamakoti.org . It affirms :Mitra Laabha, Mitra Bheda, Vigrah and Sandhi which reflects the behavioural patterns of various Beings, be they humans, animals, birds, or insects. Yet, the cart of their lives is drawn by two 'chakras' or wheels of. various shades and intensities of Dharma and Adharma or Virtue and Vice, pulling each other in opposite directions and this precisely is Life all about! The contents in the context of animals are as follows: 'Mitra Laabha'-Achievement of Ideal Friendship': Laghupatanaka the Crow warns pigeons of human trap - Hiranyaka the mouse saves the pigeons- Old blind vulture killed by wily fox out of misleading trust- Fox misleading deer and gets killed as retribution- Mouse Hiranyaka and Crow Laghupatanaka argue and finalise about their friendship-Mandhara the tortise puts the mouse and crow wiser from the lure of lucre- Excessive saving and avaricious planning is self-disastrous- Chitranga the deer runs for refuge from the attack of a hunter- Lack

of foresight lands in unanticipated disasters!- Devasharma's foolishness climaxing in lack of foresight and thoughtless killing of domestic mongoose- Despite warnings an obstinate tortoise faces death but saved by trusted friends-'Mitra Bheda-Break up of Friendship due to Evil Forces': Huge sound in a forest paves way of friendship to two wily foxes with Lion King- Monkey's unwanted meddling resulting in hanging by a wooden girdle to death- Donkey seeking to assume a dog's responsibility ending up in one's own disaster - Prince marries a Vidyadharini damsel but his minor indiscresion ruins his happy life- Deceitful sanyasi outwitted by an equally dishonest follower- A vengeful crow succeeds in killing a cobra- Action plan of 'Mitra bheda': Karataka and Damanaka approach Lion King, carry tales against Sanjivika- Karataka Damanakas having diluted Pingala's trust hasten Sanjivika's destruction and death-'Vigraha' or conflict of similar forces leading to Balance of Power': Swan King Hiranyagarbha of Karpura dwipa and Chitravarna the King of Peacocks of Jambu dwipa- Crane Deerghakarna's report of his visit to the Peacock Kingdom-Parrot arrives in the Swan Kingdom for mediation and aftermath-Crane Saarasa selected as Commander but Crow Meghavarna of enemy camp was suspicious!- Mediation address of Parrot in the court of the swan king's court-'Bhedopaaya' by way of mutual quarrels of disguised devils as thieves help a good Brahmana-Veeravara employed as King Sudraka's bodyguard sacrifices the self instead of that of the Prince-Mismatch of views of SwanKing and Minister- Battle at fortress gates of Swan Kingdom, deceipt by the traitor Crow and excellence of Crane Saarasa- Evil desires lead to destruction but for mental alertness exemplified by a crab to a crane. 'Sandhi' or the Principles of Truce, Tolerance and Co-existence. Aftermath of the defeat of Swan King due mainly to the traitorship of Meghavarna the crow- A tortoise ignores the advice of swans; the story of three fishes, possibilities turn against hazards- Peacock King appoints traitor Crow as in charge of Karpura Dwipa but Vulture Minister warns against- Sage converts mouse as tiger but reverses; mouse turns as dame but reverses for want of alliance- Kapinjala bird and a hare seek mediation of a wily cat which kills both as expected of a traitor of faith- Evil desires always lead to destruction but for alertness of mind as exemplified by a crab to a crane- Timely alert by Vulture Minister to Peacok King and plea for truce with Swan Kingdom- Foolish crocodile seeking to attain a monkey's heart to please wife but oversmarted by the monkey- Donkey dies as misled by a fox twice over as narrated by Vulture Minister to victorious Peacock King- Moves and counter moves by both the Swan and Peacock kingdoms and mutual parleys towards truce- Brahmana cheated a goat for a dog; camel fooled to death by offering self as planned by tricksters- Crow cites example of serpent and frog to vindicate Swami Seva- Simhala King Saarasa surrounds Peacock kingdom suddenly and the latter offers truce to Swan King- Minister of Swan Kingdom replies wisely, while King of Swans commends Truce without strings- Truce of Swan and Peacock Kings forged, Saarasa King withdraws forces and Peace prevails.]

Stanzas 9-10 continue: daśābhāgagato hīnas tvam rāma sahalakṣmaṇaḥ, yat kṛte vyasanam prāptam tvayā dārapradharşanam/ tad avaśyam tvayā kāryah sa suhrt suhrdām vara, akrtvā na hi te siddhim aham paśyāmi cintayan/ Shri Rama! You along with Lakshmana are following a misleading manner. That was why you had lost your kingship too and your wife Devi Sita was kidnapped too for which your are ceaselessly crying away! At least now follow the principles of 'Raja Neeti'. The departed Soul of Kabandha re-stressed to the unique Ramachandra that even after deliberating deep about the efforts being made by him- even with or without the helping hand of the able and ever faithful Lakshmana would tend to come to nought! But he is counselled to take the assistance of another personality. śrūyatām rāma vaksyāmi sugrīvo nāma vānarah, bhrātrā nirastah kruddhena vālinā śakrasūnunā/ rsyamūke girivare pampāparyantaśobhite, nivasaty ātmavān vīraś caturbhih saha vānaraih/Shri Rama! Do listen to me carefully; I am introducing another distinguished personality named Sugriva who is right now surrounded by four other Vaanaras on the Rishyashringa Parvata, as situated near Pampaa sarovara. He is the illustrious fugitive King of Vaanaraas who is at once a tejasvi-keertimaan-satyapratigjna-vinaya sheeladharya vaan-buddhhimaan-maha purusha- kaarya daksha-and deeptimaan of supreme courage and bravery. Bhraata vivaasito veera rajya hetormahaatmanaa, sa te sahaayo mitram Sitaayaah pari maargane, bhavishyanti hi te Rama maa cha shoke manah krithaah/ Veera Shri Rama! Sugriva's mighty elder brother called Vaali had decided to retain the total Vaanara Kingdom under his single authority and

had thus banished Sugriva from the kingdom; I would like to strongly suggest to make firm friendship with him. Hence do get rid of your constant cryings from hereonwards and be resolute and mentally strengthened. Bhavishyatam hi tacchhaapi na tacchhakyamihanyathaa,kartrumikshvaaku shaardula kaalo hi duritakramah/ Ikshvaaku vamsha veera Shri Rama! What all so far happened is simply not reversible. The flows of kaala maana and the abberrations of fate are infringeable. Therefore do look forward and seek solutions but never keep concerned and apprehensive in this way but seek possible solutions of the Chatur Vidha Upaayas of or Means to an End viz. Saama-Daana-Bheda-Danda or Counselling- tempting by benefits, divide and rule and final recourse is to punish! Gacchha sheeghramito veera Sugrivam tam maha balam, vayasyam tam kuru kshipramito gatvaadya Raghava/Adrohaaya samaagyam deeptamaane vibhaavasou, nacha te sovamattaavyah Sugrivo Vaanaraadhipah/ Kritagjnah kaama rupeecha sahaayaartheem cha veeryavaan, shaktou hyadya yuvaam katrum kaaryam tasya chikeershitam/ Veera Raghu naadha! Kindly get moving very quickly seek to approach Sugriva and firm of close friendship. Do firm up witness by the presence of 'agni jvaalaas' and your wish should be most certainly rewarded. Be it however known that Vaali is Sugriva's elder brother and is gifted as Riksha Raja Kshetrajna Putra and Sugriva is a fugitive brother of Maha bali Vaali as one normally would confuse each other. Vaali is the adopted son of Surya Deva himself.

Brief Vishleshana of Vaali-Sugrivas: Vaali had the distinction of defeating Ravanaasura besides the latter's son Meghanaada. Devi Tara married Vaali. The background was that the father of Vaali Sugrivas was Vriksha Raja who once bathed in a nearby pond and was surpised himself to have a female form. At the same time, Indra and Surya Deva got infatuated with her and Vaali was born of Indra and Sugriva of Surya. Vaali made rigorous tapasya to Brahma and secured the boon of invincibility. Sugriva being very scared of Vaali made sure in course of his friendship with Rama that Vaali did of piercing through a tree from far distance in one shot but Rama broke seven such trees in a row.]

Last stanzas of the Sarga: na tasyāviditam loke kim cid asti hi rāghava, yāvat sūryaḥ pratapati sahasrāmśur arimdama/ sa nadīr vipulāñ śailān giridurgāṇi kandarān, anviṣya vānaraiḥ sārdham patnīm te 'dhigamiṣyati/ vānarāmś ca mahākāyān preṣayiṣyati rāghava, diśo vicetum tām sītām tvadviyogena śocatīm/ Rama! In the entire world, there might not be a place where Suryakiranas reach but so should Sugriva and his Maha Vanaraas discover Devi Sita's whereabouts most certainly.

Sarga Seventy One

<u>Kabandha in his celestial form showed the way to reach Rishyamooka Parvata and Pampa Sarovara, as</u> also of Matanga Muni Ashrama

Nidarśayitvā rāmāya sītāyāḥ pratipādane, vākyam anvartham arthajñaḥ kabandhaḥ punar abravīt/ eṣa rāma śivaḥ panthā yatraite puṣpitā drumāḥ, pratīcīm diśam āśritya prakāśante manoramāḥ/ jambūpriyālapanasāḥ plakṣanyagrodhatindukāḥ, aśvatthāḥ karnikārāś ca cūtāś cānye ca pādapāḥ/ tān āruhyāthavā bhūmau pātayitvā ca tān balāt, phalāny amrtakalpāni bhakṣayantau gamiṣyathaḥ/ caṅkramantau varān deśāñ śailāc chailam vanād vanam, tataḥ puṣkariṇīm vīrau pampām nāma gamiṣyathaḥ/ aśarkarām avibhramśām samatīrtham aśaivalām, rāma saṅnjātavālūkām kamalotpalaśobhitām/ tatra haṁsāḥ plavāḥ krauñcāḥ kurarāś caiva rāghava, valgusvarā nikūjanti pampāsalilagocarāḥ/ nodvijante narān dṛṣṭvā vadhasyākovidāḥ śubhāḥ, ghṛtapiṇḍopamān sthūlāms tān dvijān bhakṣayiṣyathaḥ/ rohitān vakratuṇḍāṁś ca nalamīnāṁś ca rāghava, pampāyām iṣubhir matsyāṁs tatra rāma varān hatān/ nistvakpakṣān ayastaptān akṛśān ekakaṇṭakān, tava bhaktyā samāyukto lakṣmaṇaḥ saṃpradāsyati/ bhṛśam te khādato matsyān pampāyāḥ puṣpasamcaye, padmagandhi śivam vāri sukhaśītam anāmayam/ uddhṛtya sa tadākliṣṭam rūpyasphaṭikasamnibham, atha puṣkaraparṇena lakṣmaṇaḥ pāyayiṣyati/ sthūlān giriguhāśayyān varāhān vanacāriṇaḥ, apām lobhād upāvṛttān vṛṣabhān iva nardataḥ, rūpānvitāṁś ca pampāyām drakṣyasi tvam narottama/ sāyāhne vicaran rāma viṭapī mālyadhāriṇaḥ, śītodakaṁ ca pampāyām dṛṣṭvā śokaṁ vihāsyasi/ sumanobhiś citāṁs tatra tilakān

naktamālakān, utpalāni ca phullāni paṅkajāni ca rāghava/ na tāni kaś cin mālyāni tatrāropayitā narah, matangaśisyās tatrāsann rsayah susamāhitah/ tesām bhārābhitaptānām vanyam āharatām guroh, ye prapetur mahīm tūrṇam śarīrāt svedabindavah/ tāni mālyāni jātāni munīnām tapasā tadā, svedabindusamutthāni na vinaśyanti rāghava/ teṣām adyāpi tatraiva dṛśyate paricāriṇī, śramaṇī śabarī nāma kākutstha cirajīvinī/ tvām tu dharme sthitā nitvam sarvabhūtanamaskrtam, drstvā devopamam rāma svargalokam gamişyati/ tatas tad rāma pampāyās tīram āśritya paścimam, āśramasthānam atulam guhyam kākutstha paśyasi/ na tatrākramitum nāgāḥ śaknuvanti tam āśramam, rses tasya matangasya vidhānāt tac ca kānanam/ tasmin nandanasamkāśe devāranyopame vane, nānāvihagasamkīrne ramsyase rāma nirvrtah/rsyamūkas tu pampāyāh purastāt puspitadrumah, suduhkhārohano nāma śiśunāgābhiraksitah, udāro brahmanā caiva pūrvakāle vinirmitah/ śayānah puruso rāma tasya śailasya mūrdhani, yat svapne labhate vittam tat prabuddho 'dhigacchati/ na tv enam visamācārah pāpakarmādhirohati,tatraiva praharanty enam suptam ādāya rāksasāh/ tato 'pi śiśunāgānām ākrandah śrūyate mahān, krīḍatām rāma pampāyām matangāranyavāsinām/ siktā rudhiradhārābhiḥ samhatya paramadvipāh, pracaranti prthak kīrnā meghavarnās tarasvinah/ te tatra pītvā pānīvam vimalam śītam avyayam, nivrttāh saṃvigāhante vanāni vanagocarāh/ rāma tasva tu śailasva mahatī śobhate guhā, śilāpidhānā kākutstha duḥkham cāsyāḥ praveśanam/ tasyā guhāyāḥ prāgdvāre mahāñ śītodako hradaḥ, bahumūlaphalo ramyo nānānagasamāvrtah/ tasyām vasati sugrīvas caturbhiḥ saha vānaraiḥ, kadā cic chikhare tasya parvatasyāvatisthate/ kabandhas tv anuśāsyaivam tāv ubhau rāmalaksmanau, sragvī bhāskaravarnābhah khe vyarocata vīryavān/ tam tu khastham mahābhāgam kabandham rāmalaksmanau, prasthitau tvam vrajasveti vākyam ūcatur antikāt/ gamyatām kāryasiddhyartham iti tāv abravīc ca saḥ, suprītau tāv anujñāpya kabandhaḥ prasthitas tadā/ sa tat kabandhaḥ pratipadya rūpam; vṛtaḥ śriyā bhāskaratulyadehah,nidarśayan rāmam aveksya khasthah; sakhyam kurusveti tadābhyuvāca

Assuring thus about the search of Devi Sita by approaching Maha Vanara Sugriva and his outstanding Vaanara sena the great Monkey Brigade, the celestial voice of the departed Kabandha directed Rama Lakshmanas to proceed westward and follow the pleasing sight of flowery trees and huge sturdy trees of Jambu or rose apple, Panasa or Jack fruit, Mango, Kadali or Plantain, Tamala, Banyan, Plaksha, Rakta chandana or Rosewood, Neem, Fig. Saal, Banyan, Coconut, Deodaar, Chinar, Sandalwood, Teak, Bael and Ashvattha. While crossing the famed trees, they might enjoy the juicy fruits of the trees as well. Thus enjoying the grand Prakriti soundarya and its bountiful nature, Rama Lakshmanas crossed one forest to another reached Pampa's illustrious banks called Pushkarini. Pampa sarovara is situated to the east of the Matanga hill and to the west of the Rishyamukha hill and serves as a perennial source of water as the rain waters falling on these hills flow down to the sarovara. The water thus collected is free from gravel slippery slime and duck weeds. Thus, the water is crystal clear, sparkling, limpid, cool and delightful scented with lotus fragrance. The environs of the sarovara abound in forests is rich in flora and fauna includes Swans, Ducks, Kraunches, Ospreys and such other water birds. Fishes of rare variety like Vakratunda, Rohita Nalameena are found in plenty in the sarovara. Rama Lakshmanas! When you seek to catch the multi-coloured fishes, especially in the early evenings, the Sarovara gets profoundly fabulous of sweet smells of joy, coolness, healthy, and heart filling. Nara shreshthaas! The musical sounds of monkey group screeches get so pronounced as those of constant drubbings of ear drums. sāyāhne vicaran rāma vitapī mālyadhārinah, śītodakam ca pampāyām drstvā śokam vihāsyasi/ sumanobhiś citāms tatra tilakān naktamālakān, utpalāni ca phullāni pankajāni ca rāghava/ Shri Rama! In such glorious evenings when you pass by the banks of Pushkarini and its truly hearty walks, you should forget the remote heart beatings of Devi Sita viyoga even for a while. It is a local belief of pronouncement that the disciples of Matanga Maharshi tend to surrender to silence and peaceful tranquility of the natural surroundings. As the Matanga shishyaas collect flowers and fruits, then they get tired out and the sweating drops of their bodies seem to instantly turn as fresh and sweet smell flowers by the miracle of the Maharshi. Having crossed such spell binding occurances in the forth arriving Matanga ashram, one could also witness there ahead the Punya Murti Tapasvini Shabari the embodiment of 'dharmaanushthaana'. Rama! Maha Saadhvi Shabari ought to be ever anxious for your darshana bhagya for a number of years now! Raghu nandana! Once you pass by ahead the Matanga Vana and Shabari ashram, then you would reach the foothills of

Rishyamooka parvata: rsyamūkas tu pampāyāh purastāt puspitadrumah, suduhkhārohano nāma śiśunāgābhiraksitah, udāro brahmanā caiva pūrvakāle vinirmitah/ The eastern side of Pampaa sarovara is situated the Rishyamooka Parvata foothills which around greenery of huge trees and plants fornming a picturesque scene stated to have emerged by Lord Brahma's generosity. śayānaḥ puruṣo rāma tasya śailasva mūrdhani, yat svapne labhate vittam tat prabuddho 'dhigacchati/ na tv enam visamācārah pāpakarmādhirohati,tatraiva praharanty enam suptam ādāya rākṣasāḥ/ Shri Rama! Those fortunate persons who sleep atop the Rishymooka Parvata and dream, their dreams of attainment of fortune do come true. But those who hatch plans for sinful acts get caught by blood sucking rakshasaas. rāma tasva tu śailasya mahatī śobhate guhā, śilāpidhānā kākutstha duhkham cāsyāh praveśanam/ tasyā guhāyāh prāgdvāre mahāñ śītodako hradah, bahumūlaphalo ramyo nānānagasamāvṛtah/ tasyām vasati sugrīvaś caturbhih saha vānaraih, kadā cic chikhare tasya parvatasyāvatisthate/ Shri Rama! On the top of the Rishyamooka Mountain, there exist deep and dark caves shut by boulders difficult to enter and if possible to enter some how more difficult to get out. Such numberless caves are possessive of cold and clean water falls and the adjacent natural gardens of sweet fruit bearing trees. Dharmatma Sugriva and his enormous number of miracle monkey groups rests among such deep cave groups.' This was how the Celestial Figure of Maha Kabandha guided Rama Lakshmanas and assured them: kāryasiddhyartham iti tāv abravīc ca saḥ, suprītau tāv anujñāpya kabandhaḥ prasthitas tadā/ sa tat kabandhaḥ pratipadya rūpam; vṛtah śriyā bhāskaratulyadehah,nidarśayan rāmam aveksya khasthah; sakhyam kurusveti tadābhyuvāca/ 'Both of you Rama Lakshmanas! May your evenful efforts and deeds be successeful and auspicious and took a departure signal of greeting and parting, finall reminding them of their most imminent act of making secure friendship with Sugriva Vanara King in exile.

Sarga Seventy Three

Rama Lakshmanas proceed towards Matanga Vana and meet Tapasvini Shabari awaiting Shri Rama Lakshmanas all along her life with indefinable devotion.

Tau kabandhena tam mārgam pampāyā darśitam vane, ātasthatur diśam grhya pratīcīm nrvarātmajau/ tau śailesv ācitānekān ksaudrakalpaphaladrumān, vīksantau jagmatur drastum sugrīvam rāmalakṣmaṇau/ kṛtvā ca śailapṛṣṭhe tu tau vāsam raghunandanau, pampāyāḥ paścimam tīram rāghavāv upatasthatuh/ tau puskarinyāh pampāyās tīram āsādya paścimam, apaśyatām tatas tatra śabaryā ramyam āśramam/ tau tam āśramam āsādya drumair bahubhir āvrtam, suramyam abhivīksantau śabarīm abhyupeyatuḥ/ tau tu dṛṣṭvā tadā siddhā samutthāya kṛtāñjaliḥ, pādau jagrāha rāmasya lakṣmaṇasya ca dhīmatah/ tām uvāca tato rāmah śramanīm samśitavratām, kaccit te nirjitā vighnāh kaccit te vardhate tapaḥ/ kaccit te niyataḥ kopa āhāraś ca tapodhane, kaccit te niyamāḥ prāptāḥ kaccit te manasaḥ sukham, kaccit te guruśuśrūṣā saphalā cārubhāṣiṇi/ rāmena tāpasī pṛṣṭhā sā siddhā siddhasammatā, śaśamsa śabarī vrddhā rāmāya pratyupasthitā/ citrakūtam tvayi prāpte vimānair atulaprabhaih, itas te divam ārūdhā yān aham paryacārisam/ taiś cāham uktā dharmajñair mahābhāgair maharsibhih, āgamisyati te rāmah supunyam imam āśramam/ sa te pratigrahītavyah saumitrisahito 'tithih, tam ca drstvā varām'l lokān akṣayāms tvam gamiṣyasi/ mayā tu vividham vanyam samcitam puruṣarṣabha, tavārthe purusavyāghra pampāyās tīrasambhavam/ evam uktah sa dharmātmā śabaryā śabarīm idam, rāghavah prāha vijñāne tām nityam abahiskṛtām/ danoh sakāśāt tattvena prabhāvam te mahātmanah, śrutam pratyaksam icchāmi samdrastum yadi manyase/ etat tu vacanam śrutvā rāmavaktrād vinihsṛtam, śabarī darśayām āsa tāv ubhau tad vanam mahat/ paśya meghaghanaprakhyam mrgapakṣisamākulam, mataṅgavanam ity eva viśrutaṁ raghunandana/iha te bhāvitātmāno guravo me mahādyute, juhavāṁś cakrire tīrtham mantravan mantrapūjitam/ iyam pratyak sthalī vedī yatra te me susatkṛtāh, puspopa hāram kurvanti śramād udvepibhih karaih/teṣām tapah prabhāvena paśyādyāpi raghūttamac dyotayanti diśah sarvāh śriyā vedyo 'tulaprabhāh/ aśaknuvadbhis tair gantum upavāsaśramālasaih, cintite 'bhyāgatān paśya sametān sapta sāgarān/ kṛtābhisekais tair nyastā valkalāh pādapesv iha, adyāpi na viśuşyanti pradeśe raghunandana/ krtsnam vanam idam drstam śrotavyam ca śrutam tvayā, tad icchāmy abhyanujñātā tyaktum etat kaleyaram/ tesām icchāmy aham gantum samīpam bhāyitātmanām, munīnām

āśrammo yeṣām aham ca paricāriṇī/ dharmiṣṭham tu vacaḥ śrutvā rāghavaḥ sahalakṣmaṇaḥ, anujānāmi gaccheti prahṛṣṭavadano 'bravīt/ anujñātā tu rāmeṇa hutvātmānam hutāśane, jvalatpāvakasamkāśā svargam eva jagāma sā/ yatra te sukṛtātmāno viharanti maharṣayaḥ, tat puṇyam śabarīsthānam jagāmātmasamādhinā/

As directed by the Divine Swarupa of the departed Kabandha, Rama Lakshmanas proceeded westward on way to Rishyamooka Parvata to meet Sugreeva the exiled King of Vaanaras atop. On their way they witnessed the ashram of Devi Shabari.tau tu dṛṣṭvā tadā siddhā samutthāya kṛtāñjaliḥ, pādau jagrāha rāmasya laksmanasya ca dhīmatah/ Shabari was a maha yogini and having thrilled of both Rama Lakshmanas nearing her ashram she prostrated to both of them. Having offered Padya-arghya-adi satkaaraas, Rama enquired: kaccit te nirjitā vighnāh kaccit te vardhate tapah/kaccit te nivatah kopa āhāraś ca tapodhane, kaccit te niyamāh prāptāh kaccit te manasah sukham, kaccit te guruśuśrūsā saphalā cārubhāṣiṇi/ 'Tapasvini Shabari! Have you overcome all obtacles here and well settled for serious tapasya! Have you overcome your hunger and controlled diet. Are you witnessing contentment and fulfillment of life and are getting results of the yoman services to your gurus and marga darshis/ Shabari replied: Adya praaptaa tapah siddhistva sandarshanaanmayaa, adya me saphalam janma guracascha supujitaah/ Adya me saphalam taptam swargashaiva bhavishyati, tvayi Deva vare Rama pujite purusharshabha/ Raghu nandana! As you have blessed me with your darshana, my tapasya is now fulfilled and so is my devotion to my 'guru janaas'. Purushapravara Shri Rama. You are my supreme 'deveshvara' and my 'atithya' or esteemed guestship of honour opens up swarga dwaaraas or celestial gates. Tavaaham chakshushaa Soumya puutaa soumyena maanada, gamishyaamyakshashalokaam tvavad prasadaadarindaa/ Soumya Shri Rama! Your soft and kind looks at me is enough for purifying me and facilitates my achieving higher lokas. Some of the Maharshis did indicate to me that Rama Lakshmanas should soon arrive and that I should offer you excellent hospitaltiy and as such I had been regularly collecting selected fruits and roots to offer you.' As she stated likewise, Rama who nodoubt reealised that Shabari was of lower caste but still a tatwa jnaani, Rama explained that Kabandha Rakshasa who encountered me initially was killed by me and Lakshmana. He had blessed us after his death provided us a celestial vision and provided us the guidelines of how to search for Devi Sita his dear wife be secured again from the grip of Ravanasura. Then the celestial vision further directed us to visit Shabari Ashram in the way. Danoh sakaashaat tatvena prabhaavam te mahatmanaam, kshutam pratyaksham icchhaami sandrushtam yadi manyase/ 'Tapodhani Shabari! From the Celestial Kabandha himself, We decided to meet you definitely.' Then Shabari replied: 'Maha tejasvi Shri Rama! Do see and feel this fantastic and picturesque landscape popularly called 'Matanga Vana' where my 'gurujanaas' or groups of preceptors reside who are Paramatmachinta paraayanas who had purified themselves as Gayatri Upasakas to the core and are readied for ahutis. Shabari further described the most sacred 'Vedi' - raised platform named 'Pratyakshthali' where aged Maharshis do still Devataas with their own shaky and shivering hands. Do you notice the tejas or brilliance of this Vedi that spreads all over where the tapasvis who are physically weak yet by mere 'smarana' they could recall sapta samudras whose waters only are consumed and survived by them; even now, Rama Lakshmanas! You could taste their waters available on the vedi! To duly perform worship Devatas, the Guru januas had kept garlands of flowers which keep fresh for days together! kṛtsnam vanam idam dṛstam śrotavyam ca śrutam tvayā, tad icchāmy abhyanujñātā tyaktum etat kalevaram/ tesām icchāmy aham gantum samīpam bhāvitātmanām, munīnām āśrammo yesām aham ca paricārinī/ dharmistham tu vacah śrutvā rāghavah sahalaksmanah, anujānāmi gaccheti prahṛṣṭavadano 'bravīt/ Finally Maha Yogini Shabari declared: Bbhagavan Rama! Having waited for you for very very long, as you have been sensitised by me in detail about myself, my guru janas, this magnificent Matanga Vana and its natural spledour, my illustrious gurus and also about my own pitiable physical weakness, now may I seek your permission to leave and perform my 'praana tyaga'. teṣām icchāmy aham gantum samīpam bhāvitātmanām, munīnām āśrammo yesām aham ca paricārinī/ dharmistham tu vacah śrutvā rāghavah sahalaksmanah, anujānāmi gaccheti prahṛstavadano 'bravīt/Indeed, have been the 'charana daasi' of these illustrious Maharshis, and with them as my evidence and gratitute, may I be allowed to collapse for far enticing paralokas welcomong me.' As

Shabari spoke likewise,Rama Lakshmanas were stilled motionless and whispered: How thrilling this!! *Tanu vaacha tato vaachah Shabareem shamshitavrataam,architoham tvayaa bhadreygacchha kaamam yathaa sukham*/ 'Bhadre!You have given me unushal and memorable hospitality. Now, be blessed to reach higher lokaas for ever at once'!

Vishleshana on Shabari:

Shabari was a tribal girl curious to know what 'dharma' was all about and approached Matanga Maharshi at the foothills of Rishyamukha mountain; the Rishi accepted her as his student and eversince lived in his ashram teaching her in his service. As years paassed by she became old walking with a stick and plucking berry fruits from the gardens of the ashram; meanwhile Matanga Muni achieved 'Maha Samaadhi' in 'padmaasana' posture, while assuring her to awat the arrival of Shri Rama Lakshmanas. As the latter finally did arrive, she brought basketful of berry fruits and after biting and tasting the fruits only offered them to Rama and Lakshmana declaring to the world that sincere 'bhakti' would be the 'moksha maarga'; and thus the 'Shabari Ramayana' emphasizing Bhakti for Bliss. Rama gave the discourse to Shabari aboudt the nine folded bhakti viz. 'Satsang' or affinity with followers of Truthful Virtue - 'Shravana' or hearing all about Dharma- 'Guru Seva' or Service and Following of a Guide- 'Japa' or constant repetition of the Sacred Name of Paramatma- 'Bhajana' or chorus singing in praise of the Lord as an expression in the public and selfless service to the society- and finally 'bhakti' or intense devotion without expectation recalling Bhagavad Gita's: Karmanyevaadhikaaraste maa phaleshu kadaachana, maa karma heturbhuuh maate sangostva karmani/ One has only the liberty to 'do' but never demand the return fruits about which one has no control. Yet never abstain from the performance surely expected of the person.you. 'Karma Phala' is as per the decision of the Almighty. What ever is decided as per destiny shall doubtless be awarded to the person concerntd. Never hesitate to accept by way of self desire or by the misleading advice of the public. The very feeling of disappointment creates suspicion and self repudiation. This tends to lead to frustration which is the anti-thesis of contentment and thus further leads to a string of inabilities for further successes! That situation is tantamount to 'jadatva' or total lack of initiative!]

Sarga Seventy Four

Having witnessed the glorious departure of Maha Yogini to Bliss, Rama Lakshmanas proceeded along with Pampasarovara in their 'Sitaanveshana' towards Gandhamanana Mountain and meet Sugriva

Divam tu tasyām yātāyām śabaryām svena karmaṇā, lakṣmaṇena saha bhrātrā cintayām āsa rāghavaḥ/cintayitvā tu dharmātmā prabhāvam tam mahātmanām, hitakāriṇam ekāgram lakṣmaṇam rāghavo 'bravīt/ dṛṣṭo 'yam āśramaḥ saumya bahvāścaryaḥ kṛtātmanām, viśvastamṛgaśārdūlo nānāvihagasevitaḥ/saptānām ca samudrāṇām eṣu tīrtheṣu lakṣmaṇa, upaspṛṣṭam ca vidhivat pitaraś cāpi tarpitāḥ/pranaṣṭam aśubham yat tat kalyāṇam samupasthitam, tena tv etat praḥṛṣṭam me mano lakṣmaṇa samprati/ hṛdaye hi naravyāghra śubham āvirbhaviṣyati, tad āgaccha gamiṣyāvaḥ pampām tām priyadarśanām/ ṛśyamūko girir yatra nātidūre prakāśate, yasmin vasati dharmātmā sugrīvo 'mśumataḥ sutaḥ, nityam vālibhayāt trastaś caturbhiḥ saha vānaraiḥ/ abhitvare ca tam draṣṭum sugrīvam vānararṣabham, tadadhīnam hi me saumya sītāyāḥ parimārgaṇam/ iti bruvāṇam tam rāmam saumitrir idam abravīt, gacchāvas tvaritam tatra mamāpi tvarate manaḥ/ āśramāt tu tatas tasmān niṣkramya sa viśām patiḥ, ājagāma tataḥ pampām lakṣmaṇena sahābhibhūḥ, samīkṣamāṇaḥ puṣpāḍhyam sarvato vipuladrumam/ koyaṣṭibhiś cārjunakaiḥ śatapatraiś ca kīcakaiḥ, etaiś cānyaiś ca vividhair nāditam tad vanam mahat/ sa rāmo vidhivān vṛkṣān sarāmsi vividhāni ca, paśyan kāmābhisamtapto jagāma paramam hradam/ sa tām āsādya vai rāmo dūrād udakavāhinīm, matangasarasam nāma hradam samavagāhata/ sa

tu śokasamāviṣṭo rāmo daśarathātmajaḥ, viveśa nalinīm pampām pankajaiś ca samāvṛtām/
tilakāśokapumnāgabakuloddāla kāśinīm, ramyopavanasambādhām padmasampīḍitodakām/
sphaṭikopamato -yāḍhyām ślakṣṇavālukasamtatām, matsyakacchapasambādhām tīrasthadrumaśobhitām/
sakhībhir iva yuktābhir latābhir anuveṣṭitām,

kimnaroragagandharvayakṣarākṣasasevitām,nānādrumalatākīrṇām śītavārinidhim śubhām/ padmaiḥ saugandhikais tāmrām śuklām kumudamaṇḍalaiḥ, nīlām kuvalayoddhātair bahuvarṇām kuthām iva/ aravindotpalavatīm padmasaugandhikāyutām, puṣpitāmravaṇopetām barhiṇodghuṣṭanāditām/ sa tām dṛṣṭvā tataḥ pampām rāmaḥ saumitriṇā saha, vilalāpa ca tejasvī kāmād daśarathātmajaḥ/ tilakair bījapūraiś ca vaṭaiḥ śukladrumais tathā, puṣpitaiḥ karavīraiś ca pumnāgaiś ca supuṣpitaiḥ/ mālatīkundagulmaiś ca bhaṇḍīrair niculais tathā, aśokaiḥ saptaparṇaiś ca ketakair atimuktakaiḥ, anyaiś ca vividhair vṛkṣaiḥ pramadevopaśobhitām/ asyās tīre tu pūrvoktaḥ parvato dhātumaṇḍitaḥ, ṛśyamūka iti khyātaś citrapuṣpitakānanaḥ/ harir ṛkṣarajo nāmnaḥ putras tasya mahātmanaḥ, adhyāste tam mahāvīryaḥ sugrīva iti viśrutaḥ/ sugrīvam abhigaccha tvam vānarendram nararṣabha, ity uvāca punar vākyam lakṣmaṇam satyavikramam/ sugrīvam abhigaccha tvam vānarendram nararṣabha, ity uvāca punar vākyam lakṣmaṇam satyavikramam/ tato mahad vartma ca dūrasamkramam; krameṇa gatvā pravilokayan vanam, dadarśa pampām śubhadarśa kānanām; anekanānāvidhapakṣisamkulām/

Having experienced the divya loka praapti of Maha Tapaswini Shabari at the Maharshi's pavitraashrama, Rama felt that the kind of divine experience he had was akin to that of the Ashram's Maharshis commanding Sapta Samudra's waters and performing to Deva Tarpanaas. Rama expressed to Lakshmana that it led to purity of mind and it redoubled vigor and decisiveness in the mission of 'Sitaanveshana'! Nara shreshtha! With such resolved mind, let us proceed to reach Rishyamooka Mountain and meet Sugreeva the Suryaamsha putra and his illustrious comrades. nityam vālibhayāt trastaś caturbhiḥ saha vānaraih, abhitvare ca tam drastum sugrīvam vānararsabham, tadadhīnam hi me saumya sītāyāh parimārganam/ 'Merely out of fear of Vaali, Sugriva had thus been keeping himself along with four mighty hero assistance. I am keen and anxious to meet and resolve true bonds of amity and close friendship.' There after as Rama Lakshmanas moved farther and sighted ranges of trees, birds and flowers with renewed and anticipation of discovering Devi Sita approached Pampaa Sarovara. They bathed in the clear waters of Matanga Sarasa Kunda of the sarovara. Then both of them attained peace and sharp concentration .sa tām dṛṣṭvā tataḥ pampām rāmaḥ saumitriṇā saha, vilalāpa ca tejasvī kāmād daśarathātmajah/The outstanding scenic splendour of Pampa and its environs replete with heart rending atmosphere of quiet, provoked the feelings of Devi Sita's absence more intensely than ever inside Rama's inner consciouness. He then declared :sugrīvam abhigaccha tvam vānarendram nararsabha, ity uvāca punar vākyam laksmanam satyavikramam/ At that time, Satya paraakrami Shri Rama asserted: Nara Shreshtha Lakshmana! Let us at once proceed further to Sugreeva as I would not be able bear the pangs of Devi Sita's separation any more.

[Shri Ramah sharanam samasta jagataam Ramam binaa kaa jagatee, Ramena pratihihanyate kalimalam Ramaaya karyam namah/ Ramaat trishyati kaalabheema bhujago Ramasya sarvam veshe, Rama bhaktirakhantitaa bhavatu me Rama tvamevaashrayah/]

ESSENCE OF VALMIKI KISHKINDHA RAMAYANA

Preface

Every human being in 'Brahma Srishti' is selfish in <u>gradations</u>, being subject to desire- the resultant anger if unfulfilled, jealousy of others, avarice, and hatred. The sense of objectivity, patience, capacity of sufference, and bravery to fight are often honoured in breach than on observance. Passage of 'kaala maana' from the days of Harischandra to Shri Rama to Krishna to the even the present Kali Yuga tends to gradually distort the human psyche in phases from bad to worse. Almighty being the 'Antaratma' is but a mute spectator. As Rama then, yet being subject to human impulses, had the ability to fight them against the representation of 'Adharma' and 'Anyaaya', as the bench mark of the then human. In similar conditions, other species in the <u>next gradation</u> were 'Vanaras' about whom is Kishkindha Ramayana all about, so ably picturised by the then contemporary Maharshi Valmiki still resurrected by the 'Taala Grandhaas'.

Vaanaras then were the *alter ego* of the species of Naraas. They had the representation of similar psyche as Manavas, of 'chanchala buddhi'. Yet the best of their <u>gradation</u> too generated Mahatmas, Buddhiman, Parakramis, and Dharma Sheelas. Vaali had sought to inherit the qualities of Indra having attained Brahmas boon of invincibility. Sugriva of Surya's qualities was an exceeding brain power and mastery in planning and ability to motivate others. Veera Anjaneya was unique in modesty, yet of brain- brawn-bravery besides dedication and devototion. Even as a youth, Angada had the grahana-dhaarana shakti, desha kaala jnaana, and the sense of gratitude. Being a female Vaanara, Tara Devi had the extraordinaly capability to convince others, be it Vaali her husband preventing him not to venture a repeated challenge of Sugriva suspecting Shri Rama's friendship with Sugriva, or as Lakshmana who arrived at Kishkindha in fury as Rama Karya of Sitanveshana was delayed despite the rainy season was long over. Jambavan the Riksha Raja who since the times of 'Vaamanavataara' was such a symbol of bravery and dedication with the background of having made thousand 'parikramas' to the sky protruding magnitude of Vamana Deva! Like wise were the Vaanara Veeras like Shatabali, Sushena, Ahni Putra Neela, Suhotra, Gaja, Gavaksha, Mainda, Gandhamaadana and so on , each of them were the symbols of Virtue, Valour and above all of Commitment and dedication to Shri Rama the Yuga Purusha!

The Action Place of this Script was the concentration of Vaanara Veeras around Kishkindha, between Anjanaadri Parvata and Rishyamooka Parvata [near Hampi] being an unforgettable chapter of 'Rama-Aayana'. That was the place where Hanuman met Rama Lahshmanas as behested by Sugriva to make sure that they were not the spies of his brother Vaali, lifted them by his shoulders up to Rishyamooka and checked their antecedents.

Fortified by the blessings of HH Vijayendra Saraswati of Kanchi, I have been able to script the Essence of Valmiki Ramayana in four parts so far of Baala-Ayodhya-Aranya- and now the Kishkindha. Indeed, the ability and inspiration is His own as I happen to be the squirrel for the construction of Setu Bandhana with earnestness. Indeed, it is the trust that He has been reposing in us which inspires and encourages.

VDN Rao and family Chennai

CONTENTS

Introduction

Restrospctive: Essences of Baala- Ayodhya-Aranya Valmiki Ramayana

Sarga One: On reaching Pampa Sarovara Rama was excited at its natural grandeur especially Sita's absence, Lakashmana solaces- as they approached Rishyamooka, Vanaras and Sugriva. [Vishleshana on Pampa Sarovara recalled from Sarga 71 of Valmiki Ramayana's Aranya Khanda]

Sarga Two: As Sugriva and follower vanaraas were still wondering, Hanuman felt convinced and confident and directed Shri Rama Lakshmanas to approach their head Sugriva the fugitive

convinced and confident and directed Shri Rama Lakshmanas to appoach their head Sugriva the fugitive King of Vaanaras.

Sarga Three: Hanuman reached Rama Lakshmanas in a Tapasvi form, complemented Rama Lakshmanaas by their appearance as Hanuman was pleased;

[1.Vishleshanas on Anjaneya on his origin and illustrative stutis- a ready repeat reference vide Essence of Valmiki Bala Ramayana 2. Vedaangas

Sarga Four:Lakshmana briefed Hanuman about their purpose of 'Sitaanveshana' and seeking Sugriva's close friendship and active assistanace- Hanuman's assurance for unswerving and dutiful cooperation

Sarga Five: Firm establishment of Agni Saakshi Friendship of Shri Rama and Sugriva and Shri Rama vows to kill Vaali to pave the way to Sugriva for unopposed Kingship of Vaanara Rajya Sarga Six: As Sugriva showed golden ornaments secured by his followers as Devi Sita threw away down from Ravana's donkey's chariot vimana, Rama readily recognised, cried away and got intensed up with anguish

Sarga Seven: As Shri Rama expressed his anguish and anger too, Sugriva seeks to assuage Rama's inner feelings and assures 'karya siddhi' finally; reciprocatively Rama assures Sugriva to regain his kingdom and wife too!

[1. Brief Vishleshana on Tri Gunas 2. 'Arishad Vargas' vide Bhagavad Gita and Kathopanishad:]

Sarga Eight: Shri Rama assures help in killing Vaali and enquires of Sugriva about the details of their mutual enmity

Sarga Nine: Sugriva then provides an account of the root causes of his antagonism with his elder brother

Sarga Ten: As Sugriva recounted as to how Vaali displayed his vengeance against him **Sarga Eleven:** Sugriva describes Vaali's invincibility, his extermination of Daitya Dundhubhi,

throwing off his dead body off to Matanaga Muni, curse of barring entry of Rishyamooka- Rama's test of throwing off Dundubhi's skeleton- [Vishleshana on Namuci-Mahendra duel]

Sarga Twelve: Shri Rama's feat of destroying Seven Taala Trees in a row- Sugriva's challenge to Vaali but gets beaten as Sugriva runs to Rishyamooka- Sugriva vilaapa- Rama explains the problem of Vaali Sugriva identity.

[Vishleshana on the identity of Ashvini Kumars from Surya Purana]

Sarga Thirteen: Much unlike Sugriva got thrashed by Vaali last time, the party of Rama-Sugriva party proceeded again, enjoyed Prakriti Soundarya back to Kishkindha and secures blessings from Sapta Janaashrama Muni.

[Vishleshana on Tri Agnis: a) Varaha b) Brahmanda Puranas.

Sarga Fourteen: Fully backed by Shri Rama's confident assurances of victory, Sugriva challenged Vaali for a repeat encounter of 'dwandva yuddha' amid thunderous shoutings

Sarga Fifteen: Enraged by the repetitive challenges echoing the 'Rani Vaasa', Vaali got ready for the battle but Tara Devi entreated Vaali for a truce of mutual peace, friendship with Rama and 'yuva rajatva' to Sugriva

Sarga Sixteen: Ignoring away Devi Tara's earnest appeals for amity with Sugrivas-Ramas, haughty Vaali resorts to battle with Sugriva, gets grievously hurt by Rama baana and succumbs to earth

Sarga Seventeen: Falling before death, Vaali heavily criticizes Rama for his stealthiness, undeserved glory, falsity, and sheer selfishness colliding with Sugriva only to recover Devi Sita, which he too could have with bravery!

[Vishleshana on Bhagavan Hayagriva and Madhu Kaitabhas vide Devi Bhagavata Purana]

Sarga Eighteen: Shri Rama, having let Vaali steam off his anguish from his deadly fall, replies point by point and fully justifying action in releasing his frightful arrow, yet with sympathy [Vishleshana on Chakravarti Mandhata from Maha Bhagavata Purana]

Sargas Nineteen and Twenty: Vaali calls Devi Tara and Angada Kumara near to his death bed cryingly and Devi Tara's 'vilaapa'.

Sarga Twenty One: Hanuman seeks to assuage Devi Tara's extreme distress while the latter declared her intention of 'Sati Saha Gamana'

Sarga Twenty Two: Vaali terminates his life after conveying his death bed wishes about Sugriva and Angada.

Sarga Twenty Three: With Tara's the unbearable distress, Vaali laid down his life finally **Sarga Twenty Four:**Realising anguish of Tara Devi, Sugriva reacts severely and requests Shri Rama to allow him to die while Tara too requests so- Rama seeks to assuage them; [Vishleshana on Indra's killing Vritrasura vide Devi Bhagavata amd Maha Bhaganvata Puranas]

Sarga Twenty Five: Rama Lakshmanas pacify Sugriva, Tara, and Angada- Vaali's 'dahana samskara/ jalaanjali' by Angada -

Vishleshana samskara for human beings as explained vide Sarga 76 of Essence of Valmiki Ayodhya Ramayana]

Sarga Twenty Six:Hanuman requests Rama Lakshmanas to witness Rajyaabhishakas of Sugriya and Angada, Rama assents and blesses but not by entering Kishkindha.

Sarga Twenty Seven: Rama Lakshmana's diologues at their of Prasravana Giri Cave [Vishleshana on Tungabhadra]

Sarga Twenty Eight: Shri Rama describes to Lakshmana about the features of Varsha Ritu [Vishleshana on Shat Ritus or Six Seasons from Taittiriya Arankaya]

Sarga Twenty Nine: Hanuman prevails on Sugriva to initiate action for Sitaanveshana even before Rama's reminder and instruct Neela Vaanara to assemble the Vanara soldiers to group together. **Sarga Thirty:** Sharad Ritu Varnana- Shri Rama instructs Lakshmana to reach King Sugriva

Sarga Thirty One:Lashmana proceeds to Sugriva's Rajya Bhavana at Kishkindha with anger yet restrained by Rama's convincing, meets Aangada who in turn seeks Sugriva to some how pacify.

Sarga Thirty Two: Hanuman sincerely advises Sugriva to withstand Lakshmana's anger besides consolidate action towards 'Sitaanveshana'

Sarga Thirty Three: Even admiring Kishkindha's beauty, Lakshmana seeks to enter Sugriva's Inner Chamber by resounding his dhanush and the frightened Sugriva advises Tara's help to cool him down convicinity even before his appearance.

Sargas Thirty Four and Thirty Five: Sugriva faces the wrath of Lakshmana and Tara continues to soothen Lakshmana by her tactical talks

Vishleshanaa : 1. on Prayaschittas (Atonements): sourced from Parashara Smriti and Manu Smriti and 2. Visleshana on Chandra Deva's inseperability of Devi Rohini vide Varaha Purana

Sarga Thirty Six: Thus Tara managed the anger of Lakshmana convincingly and praised of Rama and his stature vis-à-vis that of Sugriva- Sugriva expresses of Rama's magnificence and his mere supplementary assistance.

Sarga Thirty Seven:Sugriva instructs consolidating Vanara Sena and proceeds to Kishkindha and inform compliance to him

Sarga Thirty Eight: Lakshmana returns to Rama as accompanied by Sugriva as he was despatched to ascertain as to why Sugriva did not action for Sitanveshana yet!

Sarga Thirty Nine: As Shri Rama had sincerely thanked the efforts in mobilising an ocean like Vanara Sena to fight his battle against Ravanasura, the grateful Sugriva returns back for further action [Vishleshana on Anuhlada- Shachi Devi-and Indra]

Sarga Forty: Now that the full backing of Vanara Sena along with enthused dedication of 'Swami Karya', Rama instructed Sugriva to take off the efforts of 'Sitaanveshana' in the eastern direction [Vishleshana on Sapta Dweepas from Brahma Purana] [Ready Ref. Vishleshana repeated in brief about Vaamana Deva and Balichakravarti vide Essence of Valmiki Ramayana as released by the website of kamakoti .org/books]

Sarga Forty One: Sugriva as totally absorbed in the singular task of 'Sitanveshana' and having already despatched one force of Vanaraas to 'purva disha' now forwards another batch to 'dakshina disha'

Sarga Forty Two: Sugriva who despatched another strong contingent of Vanara Warriors to the southern direction, now commissions a batch to the Western Side along with Sushena explaining probable areas for 'Sitanveshana'

Sarga Forty Three:Sugriva explains the significance of the northern direction for Sitanveshana under the leadership of Shatabali of several 'vaanara veeraas' [Vishleshana on Manasa Sarovara]

Sarga Forty Four: As Sugriva despatches the Vanara Sena to the Southern direction under the command of Yuva Raja Angada, Shri Rama gives his ring to Hanuman to possibly show to Sita Devi to recognise and trust him.

Sarga Forty Five: While despatching the four directional Vaanara Sena, the text of Sugriva's encouraging remarks were as follows:

[Vishleshana on Agastya Maharshi and the reason for being ever residing in the Southern Bharata]

Sarga Forty Six: King Sugriva explains to Shri Rama of his own escapades of 'Bhu Bhramana' and hence his vast knowledge and memories of destinations, parvatas, oceans, rives and the geographical detailings!

Sargas Forty Seven and Forty Eight: Vaanara Senaas that Sugriva organised to the north-west-and eastern sectors for 'Sitanveshana' had returned disappointed with negative results; but from the southern sector were awaited still

Sargas Forty Nine and Fifty: Angada seeks to revive the fallen hopes of 'Sitanveshana' bof the dakshina vaanara sena, but soon after the tired hungry sena sights a celestial tree-sarovara-and bhayana of a Tapasvini whom Hanuman contacts

Sargas Fifty One and Fifty Two: As Hanuman enquires of the 'vriddha tapasvini', she displays her 'bhavan', asks about Vanara Sena and their purpose, invites them for bhojan, reveals her identity, and facilitates them towards the Sea shores

Sargas Fifty Three and Fifty Four: As the prescribed time limit for return to Sugriva was over, Angada and other Vaanara Veeras got ready for 'praana tyaga' but clever Hanuman adopted 'bheda -neeti'or of divided opinion saving them all!

Sarga Fifty Five: Angada- having asserted of Sugriva's dubious nature and selfishness while the task of 'Sitaanveshana' was due to Lakshmana's anger- thus gets readied for 'praayopavesha' along with his fellow vaanaras

Sarga Fifty Six: Gridhra Raja Sampaati arrives and frightens Vanaras initially but on hearing about the noble deed of 'Sitaanveshana' makes friends - Sampaati then hears of Ravana's killing of Jatayu, his younger brother.

[Vishleshana on Sampaati the elder brother of Jatayu vide Sarga 14 of Essence of Valmilki Araanya Ramayana for ready reference]

Sarga Fifty Seven: Angada places the badly hurt body of Sampaati from the mountain top and describes the details of Jatayu as killed by Ravanaasura- Rama Sugriva friendship- Vaali's death- and his 'aamarana upavaasa' '

[Brief Vishleshana on Riksha Raja the father of Vaali-Sugrivas]

Sarga Fifty Eight: Sampaati informs the Vanara Veeras as to how his wings were burnt, confirms Ravana-Sita's place details-and performs jalanjali to his brother Jatayu since known from Vanaras of his passing away.

Sarga Fifty Nine: Sampati conveys to the Vanara Sena Yoddhas of what his son Supaarshvya informed of Devi Sita and Ravana at Lanka

Sarga Sixty and Sixty One: Sampaati's interaction with his preceptor 'Nishakara Rishi' and explains as to how the wings of both his and his brother Jatayu's wings were burnt in a competition with Surya in the latter's triloka parikrama!

[Vishleshana on Surya Deva's bhu -pradakshina: Sources Vishnu Purana and Matsya Purana]

Sarga Sixty Two: Nishakara Muni readily sympathises and wishes recovery to Sampata but instructs him to contribute in the context of Shri Rama Vijaya Karya all his life Sarga Sixty Three: Sampaati eventually recovers fresh wings and enthuses Vanara Veeras to proceed to the farther South and step forward to Lanka

Sarga Sixty Four: With great excitement and drive, especially fired up by Sampaati, the vast vaanara sena pushed forward to the Sea bed; then Angada asked the select Yoddhhas to express their individual abilities to cross the Sea

Sarga Sixty Five: As Angada asked select Vanara yoddhhas of their ability to cross and return, individual responses were heard- then Jambavan recommends Veera Hanuman for this impossible and daring act.

Vishleshana of Vamana's Virat Swarupa from Vaamana Purana

Sarga Sixty Six: Jambavan along with Angada approaches Anjaneya, recalls the background of the latter's birth and past glories, glorifying him up with extraordinary capabilities, while preparing him to cross the Maha Samudra

Sarga Sixty Seven: As Hanuman was enthused and readied to cross the Maha Sagara, he dashed forward to Mahendra Parvata and climbed it with ease

ESSENCE OF VALMIKI KISHKINDHA RAMAYANA

Introduction:

Brahmarshi Narada taught Brahmana Vidyaarthi Pracheta the 'two golden principles of not preaching what he himself would not practise and take to the name and thought of Rama till his death'. The boy learnt the Mantra 'Mara' or to Kill- kill 'ahamkara', 'shadvarga shatrus' of excessive desires, anger, selfishness and avarice, infatuation, ego and jealousy. Constant repetition of 'Mara' turned as 'Rama' gradually developed 'valmikaas' or anthills till his 'atma saakshaatkaara' or Self Realisation and eventually came to be reputed as Valmiki Maharshi. Once when he was bathing in the clear waters of Ganges he sighted two doves while mating but were shot to death by a hunter and the Maharshi cried :maa nishaada pratishthaa tvamagamah shasshvatih samaah, yat krouncha mithunaa -dekam avadheeh kaama mohitam/ Nishaada! There could never be rest for long years till eternity, for you killed the mating birds unsuspectingly! This is the 'prerepana' or the inspiration of the illustrious scripting of Valmiki Ramayana! Maharshi Valmiki asked Brahmarshi Narada: Konyasmin saampratam loke gunayaan kascha veeryavaan, dharmagjnascha kritagjnascha veeryavaan,dharmagjnascha kritagjnascha Satyavaakyo dhridhavtatah' as to who indeed was the Guna- Veerya-Dharmagjna- Kritagjna- Satya Vaadi- Dhridha Sankalpa or of the superior traited- brave- virtuous-ever grateful - truthful and decisive on Earth during the Treta Yuga! Ramayana is relevant now as much as in the past -present and for ever as narrated in Six Khandas or sugar cane stems viz. Baala Khanda-Ayodhya Khanda- Aranya Khanda-Kishkinda Khanda-Sundara Khanda-Yuddha Khanda. Baala Khanda comprises seventy seven Sargas- Ayodhya Khanda one hundred nineteen Sargas-Aranya Khanda has seventy three Sargas-Kishkindha Khanda has sixty seven Sargas-Sundara Khanda comprises of sixty eight Sargas-Yuddha Khanda has one twenty eight Sargas. Addtionally Uttara Khanda has one hundred eleven Sargas. The current presentation is relevant to Kishkindha Khanda- the fourth Piece of the Sugar Cane.

Restrospective:

Baala Khanda

The overview of Ramayana by Maharshi in his trance- Valmiki Ramayana of 24000 stanzas was sung by Lava- Kusha kumars of 'Shri Rama -Devi Sita' at a Conference of Muni Mandali before Shri Rama-From the Vaivaswa Manyantara to the Ikshvaku Vamsha at Ayodhya till King Dasharatha to Shri Rama-King Dashararatha-Vasishtha- Ministers plan to perform Ashvamedha Yagna and despatch Sumantra the Charioteer request to request Maharshi Rishyashringa-Historic Arrival of Rishyashringa heralding the season to rains- There after Vasishthas gave to the King 'yagina diksha'- removed evil influences - made arrangements of the yagina like architecture, construction and maintenance; groups of jyotishadi vedangas; workforce; nata- naatya -nartaka groups, cooking, culinary, construction of colonies, conference Halls etc. Ashvamedha Yagna executed gloriously- Putra Kaamekshi Yagina- Celestials preparing for arrival of Maha Purusha-Devas and Indra approached Vishnu to desrtoy Rayasnasura as Vishnu said only in human form Rama, Dasharatha's son could to so. At the Yagina, a Maha Purusha emerged from the flames and handed over a 'payasa patra' to Dasharatha to distribute to his three queens as instructed. As Rama-Lakshmana-Bharata-Shatrugnas were born thus, Indra and Devas manifested 'Vaanaraas' including Hanuman with Ashta Siddhis. Dasharatha distributes 'payasa' to queens Koushalya-Sumitra- Kaikeyi -Samskararas to Ramaadi Kumaras; Arrival of Brahmarshi Vishvamitra at Ayodhya to King Dasharatha. Vasishtha assured Dasharatha about Shri Rama's safety in safeguarding the Vishvamitra Yagjna as the satisfied King allowed Rama Lakshmanas and teach Bala-Atibala. The trio reached Angamuni Ashram-Sarayu-Ganga confluence at Malada- Kurusha Villages where Indra hi d-the reason was that Indra killed brahmana Vritraasura.-They enter 'Tataka Vana'-Rama Lakshmanas encounter Tataka and Vishmamitra prevails on stree hatya-Vishvamitra teaches most of archery mantras to Rama Lakshmanas-Vishvamitra takes Rama brothers to the 'Vamana Ashrama '-Yagjnas spoilt in other ashramas by Maricha Subahus punished by Rama-'Ashramavashis' conveyed about Janaka's

Yagina and Shiva Dhanush- Vishvamitra seeks take heros to Siddhashrama by difficult terrain and explains about adjacent Kusha Desha, King Kushanabha, Apsara daughters and Vayu Deva-By boat from Shonabhadra to Ganges, Vishvamitra explains about flows of Ganges - birth of Skanda- King Sagara's tapasya for sons- queen Sumati begets 60,000 strong sons while Keshini just only Asamanjasa. Sagara planned Ashvamesha yagna, Indra stole the Sacrificial horse- Sumati's strong sons searched bhuloka-and patalas with pomp and noise-Kapila Muni curses the sons in patala to become stones-Asamanjasa goes in search and conveys the result to Sagara who dies- King Asamanjasa gaveup hopes and so does his son Amshuman and the latter's son Dilip. But Bhagiradha takes up the thread and prays to Ganga from skies at Gokarna Tirtha. Bhagiratha standing by foot fingers, invoked Maha Deva-Crossing Ganga, Rama approaching Vaishali asked about Deva Danavas-Having failed to secure Amrit, Diti- daitya motherseeks to destroy Indra- Diti fell asleep unsconcsiously, Indra entered her Garbha with his 'Vajraayudha', saw the fully grown up boy inside, cajoled him saying 'don't cry, don't cry' and sliced the child into seven parts and further to forty nine sub-parts-Vishvamitra stated that they were at that very place where above instances had occured when there was an Ikshvaaku Kings Kakutstha- Sumati and then proceed to Mithila the kingdom of Janaka Raja!Sumati showed the way to Gautama Ashram en route Mithila.-Entering King Janaka's Yagnyashaala, Vishvamitra introduces Rama Lalshmanas and their acts of glory so far to King Janaka and his Purohita 'Shataananda'-Having congratulated Rama Lakshmanas, Shatananda makes a detialed coverage on the lifestory of Vishvamitra who as a Kshatriya King through tapsyas became a Brahmarshi!King Vishvamitra sighted Shabali Kamadhenu and demands it but was refused; in a battle Shabala smashed thee army but the latter took to severe tapasya.Brahma blesses Vishvaymitra be the status of Maharshi-Trishanku desires to reach swarga being mortal and Vishvamitra creates a mid-sky swarga with his tapo bala; -Ambarisha performs Yagina at Pushkara but as sacrifice animal was stolen, a 'nara pashu boy' was arranged - Vishvamitra took pity but to no avail; got entangled instead by co-Munis.-Vishvamitra disturbed by 'Menaka' at Pushkara, then shifted to heights of himalayas when 'Rambha' disturbed too-Ultimatelyeven as Indra ever stole his food, Maharshi stopped his breathing but kept on his tapsya on Brahma, and the latter conferred the title of 'Brahmarshi'! Vishmamitra conveys Rama's desire to show Shiva Dhanush and Janaka gives the background of the Dhanush; King Nimi was gifted Shiva Dhanush at his son Devarata's wedding; Devi Sita as 'Ayonija' as Janaka tills bhuyagina.-Rama lifted up the Shiya Dhanush as if it were a toy, straightened it with great ease, held the middle part, and as though of a child play broke into two pieces. That breaking resulted in earthshaking like reverberations. King Janaka said:Once wedded to Shri Rama, my daughter ought to be proud to his life partner and bring in glory to Janaka vamsha! Brahmarshi said: tathaastu!- King Janaka sent a messenger to King Dasharatha to state: Shri Rama in the midst of all of us had managed the control and breaking of the age old Shiva Dhanush and as per my repeated announcements would like to propose my daughter Devi Sita to Shri Rama in a wedding ceremony and therefore request you to attend the same along with your queens and the entire retenue. Besides Rama and Devi Sita, may we also propose the wedding of Lakshmana with my younger daughter Urmila too- Dasharadha was pleased and addressed Vasishtha and Ministers to leave next morning -Accompanied by Gurus, wives and intimate and other relatives and friends, King Dasharatha was happy and blissful and instructed Sumantra to let the royal treasurer carry surplus funds of cash, jewellery, nine gems ahead and for their safety there ought to be fool proof defence arrange -ments. A four day procession with needed halts on way moved on with plentiful food and drinks. On their arrival at the outskirts of the Kingdom, King Janaka made elaborate reception with music, song, dance and ecstatic welcome showers of flowers-In an open Janaka Sabha, Vasishtha narrated the glory of Ikshvaku Vamsha: Brahma Deva the Swayambhu manifested Marichi, from the latter was born Kashyapa whose son was Vivisvaan as the latter gave birth to Vaivasvata Manu. Manu was the foremost Prajapati and from Manu was born Ikshvaku the first King of Ayodhya. Then were highlighted: Pruthu-Mandhata-Sagara- Bhagiratha- Ambareesha-Nahusha-Yayati-Naabhaga- Ajaand Dasharatha- King Janaka explained about his vamsha from renowned King Nimi, whose son named Mithi being the ever first Janaka as the 'vamsha' known as of Janakas. Then he introduced Kushadhvaja his younger brother desirous of getting his two daughters to Bharata and Shatrughna and declared Mandaveeka and Shutakeerti as their respective wives, respectively.- Public Declarations were made in

the presence of Kings, Maharshis, and the public and hectic preperations were made; The vivahika vedika was got ready befitting the status and magnificence of two great Kings. Then Janaka welcomed the brides and bridegrooms.-- Afer the festivities concluded, guests were shovered with precious gifts, the groom's party moved back on the return journey but a terrible sand storm was faced. Parashu Rama arrived shouting 'Rama Rama' with terrible anger as the Shiva Dhanush was broken. Dasharatha tried to pacify but with anger, handed over Vishnu Dhanush and challenging Rama to break it if at all possible. An angry Rama not only lifted the dhanush as though Vishnu did against Madhukaitabha daityas but stated that with that very dhanush he could as well demolish Parashu Rama too! An utterly humiliated Parashu Rama was then instructed to return to Mahendra Mountain for ever!- As the rerurn procession finally reached the city of Ayodhya, it was ready with dhwaja-patakas, welcome sounds of drums and music, dances and decoratons. Dasharatha along with his sons and new daughters-in-law along with the Queens made an auspicious entry. Later, Raja Kumaras shared royal responsibilities. Rama and Sita became famed as Vishnu and Lakshmi.

Ayodhya Khanda

Considering Shri Rama's eligibility for Ayodhya's Yuvarajatva, King Dasharatha convenes a durbar meeting -King Dashatatha secures public approval for Rama's Yuvarajatva-Dasharatha discusses the details of Rama's Rajyabhisheka with Vasishtha and asks Rama to attend the Rajya sabha- Rama seeks his mother Devi Koushlya's blessings and endears Lakshmana-Dasharatha and Vasishtha ask Rama and Sita to observe fasting before the celebrations of Yuvarajatva- Ayodhya public's joy and pre-celebrations-Villianous Manthara gets upset on Rama's Yuvarajatva and reaches Kaikeyi and provokes and poisons Kaikeyi's mindset suggesting Rama's Vana Vaasa and Bharata's elevation as Yuvaraaja- Fully poisoned by Mandhara, Kaikeyi enters 'Kopa griha'- the symbolic Anger Chamber-King Dasharatha seeks to pacify her beloved queen Kaikeyi-Kaikeyi seeks to remind of Dasharatha's promise of granting her of two boons at a battle as she saved him, demands Rama's 'vana vaasa'/ Bharata's Rajyabhisheka-Dasharatha's remorse at Kaikeyi's undue demands even having admitted the boons and pleads with Kaikeyi not to insist but in vain - Dasharatha's intense cryings and persistent pleadings with Kaikeyi but she argued in the name of dharma citing the tradition of truthfulness of Ikshvaku ancestors-Kaikevi's stubbuornness to relent - Vashishta Maharshis intervetion fails and Charioteer Sumanra asked for Rama's arrival at the King's Palace-Sumanta arrives at Rama's palace whileRama and Lakshmana on the way to King's Palace enjoying public's joy at Rama's elevation-Excellent preparations in the city for the celebrations by the following day- Rama witnessing heart broken Dasharatha and Kaikeyi's rude intervention demanding Rama's Vana Vaasa for fourteen years in prscirbed dress code and of Bharat's Kingship-Rama agrees to her terms and proceeds to Kouashalya to break the news - Koushalya's sudden and of tragic news leads to agony and standstill senselessness as Rama seeks to pacify-Lakshmana gets agitated at the turn of the events and so did Kousalya but Rama assuages their badly hurt as Rama explains that 'pitru vaakya paripaalana' ought to be his life's motto and dharma.Rama asked Lakshmana to remove all the preparatory materials like the vessels etc. meant for his Rajyabhisheka since that would be unwanted then-Reacting to remove the material for Rajyabhishaka, Lakshmana argued whether the decicision was correct, but Rama once again reiterated as irrevocable - Devi Kousalya, reacting sharply about Rama's decisiveness to undergo vana vaasa resolves to follow him, and Rama invoked the argument of her preserving Pativratya and should not desert her husband-With great difficulty, Rama finally convinces Kousalya to let him leave for 'vana vaasa'and she relented finally.- As Rama left Kousalya with mutual anguish, the Public too was unaware of the tragic developent, much less Devi Sita who was horrified-Devi pleads her accompanying Rama for the forest life -Rama dissuades Sita to accompany him for Vana Vaasa-Sita invokes her 'Paativratya Dharma' and insists- Devi Sita sobs heavily and Rama had to finally concedes-Lakshmana too insists on accompanying Rama- latter agrees; Rama desires of offering charities- Sita Rama's charity to Vasishtha Kumara Sujyagjna and wife, brahmanas, brahmacharis, servants- Sita Rama Lakshmanas visit Kaikeyis's palace to meet Dasharatha as Nagara vaasis weep away -Sita Rama Lakshmanas approach Dasharatha with queens before vana vaasa; the latter swoons and recovers and embraces them and swoons again-Sumantra criticizes Kaikeyi as the latter justifies-Dasharatha instructs treasure to be sent along with Sumatra for initial phase of vana vaasa; Rama Lakshmans dressed up in valkals as Vishtha rejects Sita wearing that dress- Dasharatha too rejects Sita wearing Valkava vastras even as Kaikeyi was unhappy, but Rama approves--Dasaratha breaks into cryings, Sunantra arrives with the chariot, Sita receives 'pati seva upadesha' from Kousalya, Rama Sita Lakshmanas bid farewell to all - Sita Rama Lakshmanas perform pradakshinas to Dasharatha and the mothers, Sita Rama Lakshmanas alight the chariot and the crowds get terribly agitated -As the unruly crowd was interrupting the Chariot several times, the citizens were crying away aloud shatterring the skies, especially the women folk-King Dasharatha cries and swoons for Rama, distances from Kaikeyi's palace and shifts to Kousalya's-Maha Rani Kousalya's agony asDevi Sumitra assuages Kousalya's tormented psyche-Rama appeals to the Ayodhya public not to hurt Dasaratha or Bharata- the elders of the public insist on following Rama upto Tamasa river banks- Rama Sita Lakshmana's over night stay at Tamasa banks- they leave ealiest unnoticed- public felt bad-Ayodhya elders and women got disturbed inability to see off Rama to the deeper forests crossing Tamasa- Ayodhya woman folk cry away Rama Sita Lakshmanas for further 'vana vaasa'- Public of Kosala Janapada throng at the Chariot carrying Ramas who also cross Veda shruti-Gomati-Skandika rivers- Ramas arrive at Shringavera pura on the banks of Ganga- stay overnight and Nishada Raja Guha welcomes them-Lakshmana - Guha feel and exchange expressions of sadness-Guha navigates Sita Rama Lakshmanas across Ganga- Rama bids farewell to the reluctant Sumamtra- Sita's intense prayers to the Sacred Ganga- after crossing Ganga reach Vatsa desha for night halt- As Rama asks Lakshmana to return back to Ayodhya at least now but Lakshmana protests-Ramas reach Bharadvaaja ashram and the Maharshi advises them to settle at Chitrakoota mountain - while they cross Yamuna from Prayaga- Sita prays to Yamuna- their overnight stay at otherside of Yamuna-Ramas reach Chitrakoota-Maharshi Valmiki at ashram- Maharshi teaches Lakshmana Vaastu Shastra- Sumantra reaches Ayodhya- 'aarta naadaas' by public and Dasharatha and queens-Sumantra conveys Shri Rama- Lakshmanas's messages to the parents-Condition of the Ayodhya public and at the state of Rama's distresses Dashatratha extremely- Anguish of Devi Kouasalya sought to be assuaged by Sumatra-Kousalya's crying protests against Dasharatha-Regretful Dasharatha with folded hands and prostrations seeks pardon from Kousalya-Dasaratha's confession to Kousalya about his youthful blunder of killing a Muni Kumara -Having revealed details of the Muni hatya, the helpless cryings of his blind parents - Vriddha Muni's curse that Dasaradha would die in son's absence-Dasharatha -Pursuant to Dasharatha's death, his queeens cried out, deathwise- praises and music followed-Queens, Ministers and staff- and public vision the body as retained in oil vessels-Maharshis assemble with Purohita Vasishtha to decide on the successor Kingship-Vashishtha despaches messengers to Kaikeya kingdom to bring Bharata along with Shatrughna.- As messengers arrive at Bharata's place, the latter felt 'dussvapnas' early morning-Ayodhya's messengers arrive at Bharat's maternal uncle's palace, bring gifts and message to return-Bharata Shatrughnas arrive at Ayodhya and found the city as silent and listless!- Bharata reaches Kaikeyi palace and hears the news of his father's demise and Rama Sita Lakshmana 'vana vaasa' and Bharata's rajyaabhisheka!- The rattled up Bharata protests violently and detests- Kaikeyi's evil mindedness-Bharata's open protests against Kaikeyi-Bharata's 'shapatha' / swearing in the presence of Kousalya-Raja Dasharatha's 'antyeshthi' / 'dahana samskaara'-Bharatha performs Dashartha's 'shraaddha karma' and maha daanaas'- collection of ashes and 'nimajjana'- 'daaha samskaara'-Shatrugna attacks the villainess Kubja, the servant maid of Kaikeyi, to senselessness and spares her death! Ministers propose Bharata's 'rajyabhisheka'- but the latter proposes only temporary authority as Shri Rama ought to be the real King-Bharata initiates the constuction of comfortable 'Raja Marga' from Rivers Sarayu to banks of Ganga-As 'mangala vaadyas' were heard on a morning, Bharata felt uneasy and asked Vasishtha to come to Rajya sabha with Ministers and officials- Bharata disagrees with Vasishtha that kingship was Rama's birth right and only a passing solution now-Bharata's vana yatra and night halt at Shringaverapura -Nishaada Raja hosts Bharata's overnight stay before crossing Ganga the next day- Bharata and Nishada Raja exchange viwes of Rama's magnanimity-Nishada Raja extols about the nobility and devotion to Rama of Lakshmana-On hearing details of Rama Sita Lakshmanas, Bharata swooned down, Shatrugna and the mothers cried away, and persisted on the details of the threesome regarding their food and sleeping patterns-Guha showed the bed of 'kusha grass' by which Sita Ramas slept on that night and the 'valkala vastras' left behind-Bharata accompanied by sena,

mothers, Munis and public arrives at Bharadvaaja ashram-Bharata visits Bharadwaja 'ashram'- The Maharshi bestows Bharata and entire entourage including vast army a heavenly hospitality-Bharata introduces his three mothers and Bharadvaja blesses them and indicates the way to Chitrakoota- Bharata's Chitrakoota yatra described-Shri Rama shows the beauty and grandeur of Chitrakoota to Sita-Shri Rama displays the exquisiteness of River Mandakini to Sita-As the wild beasts and birds running astray of Chitrakoota, Lakshmana went up atop a shaala tree as an army was nearing and Lakshmana was angered-As Lakshmana saw Bharata approaching, he got angry but Rama cooled him down-Bharata and advance party located Rama's 'kuteera' and visited the details inside -Bharata Shatrughnas locate Rama, prostrate and crying- Shri Rama having enquired Bharata's welfare gave elaborate lessons of Kshatra Dharmas on his own- Rama asks Bharata the reason of his arrival as Bharata requests him to return and accept Kingship; but Rama refuses-Bharata requests Rama to reconsider Kingship and informs King Dasharath's sad demise-Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas cry away at father's death- offerings of tarpana and pinda daana -With Vasishtha ahead the three Devis arrive, all the sons prostrate the mothers and Vasishtha too-Bharata broaches about Rama's return & kingship -Bharata again pesters Rama to assume kingship-Shri Rama instructs Bharata to return to Ayodhya at once-Muni Jaabali supports Bharata and his argument that sounded spread of 'nastikata'-Rama asserts that karma and rebirth are the corner stones of 'Astikata'-Vasishtha traces the geneology of Ikshvaku Vamsha and asks to uphold its fame and assume Kinghip as the eldest son of Dasharatha-Shri Rama reiterates that 'Pitru Agina' was paramount yet doubled edged that he should undergo vana vaasa and Bharata should rule for that period! -As Bharata was not ready yet to return to Ayodhya, Shri Rama grants his 'charana paadukaas' and finally bid farewell to Bharata and the entourage-Bharata and the entourage reach back to Maharshi Bharadwaja's ashram and return to Ayodhya-On return to Ayodhyam Bharata realises the sad state of the city of Ayodhdya-Bharata instals Shri Rama 'Paadukaas' at Nandigrama and administers Ayodhya from there-All the Rishis of Chitra koota commenced leaving the place due to problems of Rakshasas-Sita Rama Lakshmanas too decided to leave Chitrakoota and proceeded to Maharashi Ashram of Atri and Maha Pativrata Anasuya-Devis Anasuya and Sita exchange views- Anasuya gives gifts to Sita- Sita describes her 'swayamvara'-Thus Devi Sita having accepted the gifts from Devi Anasuya reaches Shri Rama for overnight stay at Atri Maharshi Ashram for further journey.

Aranya Khanda:

Shri Rama - Devi Sita-Lakshmanas felicitated in 'Muni ashramas' - As Rama-Sita -Lashmanas proceeded into the thick forest, they encounterd Rakshasa Viraath- Exchange of hot words by Rama Lakshmanas with Rakshasa Viraatha-Rama Lakshmanas kill Rakshasa Viraatha--Shri Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas visit Sharabhanga Muni's ashrama and after 'atithya' the Muni departs for Brahma Loka- Vaanaprastha Munis approach Shri Rama for safety from Rakshasaas and Rama Lakshmanas assure and pacify them Shri Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas reach the ashram of Muni Suteekshna who offers 'atithya' overnight- Next early morning Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas exit Suteekshna ashram-Gatheringa of innocent commoners and Munis seek protection from frequent- attacks by Rakshasaas and Devi Sita enumerates the tenets of dharma-Rama Lakshmanas assure and make 'pratiginas' of Kshatriya kula duty to safeguard the tenets of Dharma-Rama Sita Lakshmanas visit Panchapsara Tirtha and Maandikarana ashrama and after visiting other Muni Ashramas too, visit the ashram of the brother of Agastya Maharshi who lauds the glory of Agastya- Rama Lakshmanas visit Agastya Maharshi and after welcoming them, Agastya gifts 'diyvaastras'-Maharshi Agastya complements Devi Sita as a 'pativrata' and directs-ama Lakshmanas to construct Panchavati Ashram-On the way to Panchavati, Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas meet the Great Grudhra Raja Jatayu who vividly explains the family background of Jatayu-The compact and vastu based 'Panchavati Parnashaala' of Rama-Sita- Lakshmanas reside comfortably-Happy living by Rama Sita Lakshmanas at Panchavati through Hemanta Ritu and Godavari Snaanaas-Rakshasi Shurpanakha arrives at Panchavati, introduces, proposes to Rama to wed as his wife-Shurpanakha compromises to wed Lakshmana as he was single there but the latter cuts off her ears and nose-Khara incensed the treatment to sister and despatches fourteen rakshasaas to kill Rama Lakshmanas-Shri Rama devastates fourteen followers of Khara- Shurpanakha reaches brother Khara, conveys Rama's killing fourteen rakshasas,

provokes Khara to seek revenge-Khara Dushana Rakshasaas along with fourteen thoushand sena attack Panchayati of Ramas-Khara then noticed dusshakunas like donkey brayings and squeaks of vultures from the sky, but having ignored these, Khara reaches Shri Rama 'ashrama' -As the dusshakunas loomed large, Rama hopes for the doom of Rakshasaas and victory for himself- as a precaution, he asked Lakshmana to hide Devi Sita in a cave and got readied for the battle-Rakshasaas attack Sri Rama, deva gandharva rishis apprehensive, but the invinvible Shri Rama devastates thousands of rakshasaas single handed-Senapati Dushana and thousands of rakshasaas devastated by singular Shri Rama-Trishira, Khara Maha Rakshas's Senapati exterminated-Fierce battle between Shri Rama and Khara Rakshasa by the usage of their expertise in dhanur vidya-Exchange of heated arguments between Shri Rama and Khara Rakshas whose mace attack defended by Rama -Shri Rama the action hero hits Khara Rakshasa to death and affirms victory celebrated by Celestials and Rishis- Akampana Rakshasa reaches Ravanasura to Lanka and poisons the latter's mind hatch a vicious plot to lure Devi Sita by a deer impersonted by Mareecha-Shurepanakha hurt physically with mutilated ears and nose arrives grievously at Maha Ravana Sabha:-Highly alarmed and frustrated Shurpanakha incites and ignites her brother Ravanasura-Rayana was inquisitive from Shupanakha about details of Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas as the latter asks Sita to be abducted and wedded to Sita, Ravanasura once again approaches Mareecha once again to seek the latter's help-Ravanaasura once again seeks the help of Mareecha to kidnap Devi Sita-'The self shaken up Mareecha appeals to Ravana to very kindly withdraw the plan in view of Rama's extraordinary mental acumen and physical energy-Maareecha explains his erstwhile experience of Vayavyastra and requests Ravana to pardon him-Maarecha seeks to further convince Ravanaasura as Mareecha enterered having assumed the form of a Maya Harina or a feigned deer-Ravanasura resents Mareecha's argumentative pattern and commands Mareecha to get involved in the mission of 'Sitaapaharana' while detailing the plan of abduction-Maareecha issues ultimate warning to the doom of Ravana and disaster of Lanka Kingdom-Rakshasa Maareecha forced by Ravanaasura to assume the deer form of glitter and attract Sita's attention-Even as Lakshmana doubted about the Maya Mriga, Sita was bent to secure it alive or dead and Rama had to yield to her intense wish proceeded with the chase, while entrusting responsibility to Lakshmana. chase.-Shri Rama kills Mareecha, no doubt, but the latter shouts for help in Rama's tone causing gitters to Sita-As expected, Lakshmana was taken aback by Sita's insinuations against him who was pressurised to reach Shri Rama-Ravanaasura approaches Devi Sita under Sadhu's garb, familiarises and mesmorises her-Devi Sita introduces herself as the daughter of King Janaka and the husband of the valiant Shri Rama and the cause of their arrival; Ravana proposes to Devi Sita as a co-wife and the latter reacts haughtily-Ravanasura explains his own background and valor and Devi Sita ignores and discounts-Ravanasura forcibly abducts Devi Sita who cries away helplessly but Maha Jataayu grudhra tries to intervene and seeks to help-Jataayu warns Ravanasura to withdraw from the evil act of 'Sitaapaharana'and otherwise be ready for encounter-Fierce battle between Jataayu and Ravanasura but Ravana kills Jatayu-Thus Ravanasura finally concludes 'Sitaapaharana' as Devi Sita was kept under vigilant custody-Rattled and shocked Devi Sita shouts being highly critical of Ravana and his heinous actions- As Devi Sita sought to drop down her jewellery and dress to notify Rama Lakshmanas, Rayana kept vigil by five monkeys, and at Lanka in antahpura by eight rakshasis -Ravanasura takes Devi Sita to his antahpura and seeks to pressurise her to become his queen-Having suffered Ravana's entreaties, Sita intensified her thoughts on Shri Rama and praised him while angry Ravana instructed rakshasis to take Sita away to Ashoka Vatika and frieghten her to surrender-Shri Rama having killed Maareecha returns while noticing bad omens gets concerned about Devi Sita- On a run back to the Ashram, Rama Lakshmanas were subject to innumerable kinds of doubts and reaching there were not able to see Devi Sita and got stunned and terrified- Rama Lakshmans recalled the events before the latter left for Rama at the false shouts of the dying Maareesha and Rama was truly upset by Lakshmana's grave indescretion-Shri Rama's deep distress at Devi Sita's disappearance- desperate search for her even addressing animals and vegetation around the ashram in frustration-Shri Rama and Lakshmanas got intensely frustrated with their extensive search for Devi Sita-Rama's anguish - his sustained efforts with Lakshmna- following Maya Mriga's southern direction-recognising fallen Sitas's dried up flowers and ornamentsand signs of a recently fought battle!-Lakshmana seeks to cool down the unbelievable rage and anger and

recounts the fundamenatal features of self restraint while getting ready to display his outstanding bravery in human like and Gods like battle!-Rama Lakshmanas witnessed the grievously hurt Maha Grudhra Jataayu who fought for Devi Sita being kidnapped Mahaasura Ravana the Lankeshwara-Shri Rama performs the 'dahana samskaara' of Jatayu -Nasty encounter with Athomukha and blind Rakshasi Kabandha who caught Rama Lakshmanas by its long and surrounding arms within a huge embrace seeking to eat their flesh-By the enormous force of their sheer grit and decisiveness and of mutual consultations, Rama Lakshmanas severed both the mighty shoulders of Kabandha-Tormented by Sthula Rishi, Karbandha got 'vikrita rupa' but he performed tapsya to Brahma for deerghaayu, attacked Indra and vajraayudha's hit raised his stomach over body, now relieved by Rama Lakshmanas - As Kabandha Rakshas's mortal remains secured 'daah samskara' by Rama Lakshmanas, his celestial form reveals details of Ravana vs Sita and advises Rama's friendship with the exiled Vaanara King Sugriva -Kabandha in his celestial form showed the way to Rishyamooka Parvata and Pampa Sarovara, as also of Matanga Muni Ashrama-Rama Lakshmanas proceed towards Matanga Vana and meet Tapasvini Shabari awaiting Shri Rama Lakshmanas all along her life with indefinable devotion.-Having witnessed the glorious departure of Maha Yogini to Bliss, Rama Lakshmanas proceeded along with Pampasarovara in their 'Sitaanyeshana'towards Gandhamanana Mountain and meet Sugriva.

Sarga One

On reaching Pampa Sarovara Rama was excited at its natural grandeur, especially Sita's absence, Lakashmana solaces- as they approached Rishyamooka, Vanaras and Sugriva.

sa tām puṣkariṇīm gatvā padmotpalajhaṣākulām,raamaḥ saumitrisahito vilalāpākulendriyaḥ/ tasya drstvaiva tām harsād indriyāni cakampire, sa kāmavaśam āpannah saumitrim idam abravīt/ saumitre paśya pampāyāh kānanam śubhadarśanam, yatra rājanti śailābhā drumāh saśikharā iva/ mām tu śokābhisamtaptam ādhayah pīdayanti vai, bharatasya ca duhkhena vaidehyā haranena ca/ adhikam pravibhāty etan nīlapītam tu śādvalam, drumānām vividhaih puspaih paristomair ivārpitam/ sukhānilo 'yam saumitre kālaḥ pracuramanmathaḥ, gandhavān surabhir māso jātapuṣpaphaladrumaḥ/ paśya rūpāni saumitre vanānām puspaśālinām, srjatām puspavarsāni varsam tovamucām iva/ prastaresu ca ramyesu vividhāh kānanadrumāh, vāyuvegapracalitāh puspair avakiranti gām/mārutah sukham samsparśe vāti candanaśītalaḥ, ṣaṭpadair anukūjadbhir vaneṣu madhugandhiṣu/giriprastheṣu ramyeṣu puspavadbhir manoramaih, samsaktaśikharā śailā virājanti mahādrumaih/ puspitāgrāmś ca paśyemān karnikārān samantatah, hātakapratisamchannān narān pītāmbarān iva/ avam vasantah saumitre nānāvihaganāditah, sītayā viprahīnasya śokasamdīpano mama/ mām hi śokasamākrāntam samtāpayati manmathah, hṛstah pravadamānaś ca samāhvayati kokilah/ esa dātyūhako hṛsto ramye mām vananirjhare, pranadan manmathāvistam śocayisyati laksmana/ vimiśrā vihagāh pumbhir ātmavyūhābhinanditāh, bhrṅgarājapramuditāh saumitre madhurasvarāh/ mām hi sā mṛgaśāvākṣī cintāśokabalātkṛtam, samtāpayati saumitre krūraś caitravanānilah/ śikhinībhih parivṛtā mayūrā girisānusu, manmathābhiparītasva mama manmathavardhanāh/ paśya laksnama nrtyantam mayūram upanrtyati, śikhinī manmathārtaisā bhartāram girisānusu/ mayūrasya vane nūnam raksasā na hrtā priyā, mama tv ayam vinā vāsaḥ puṣpamāse suduḥsahaḥ/ paśya lakṣmaṇa puṣpāṇi niṣphalāni bhavanti me, puspabhārasamṛddhānām vanānām śiśirātyaye/ vadanti rāvam muditāh śakunāh samghaśah kalam, āhvayanta ivānyonyam kāmonmādakarā mama/ nūnam paravaśā sītā sāpi śocaty aham vathā, śyāmā padmapalāśāksī mṛdubhāsā ca me priyā/ esa puspavaho vāyuh sukhasparśo himāvahah, tām vicintavatah kāntām pāvakapratimo mama/ tām vinātha vihamgo 'sau pakṣī praṇaditas tadā vāyasaḥ pādapagataḥ prahṛṣṭam abhinardati/ eṣa vai tatra vaidehyā vihagaḥ pratihārakaḥ, pakṣī mām tu viśālākṣyāḥ samīpam upanesyati/ paśya laksmana samnādam vane madavivardhanam, puspitāgresu vṛkṣesu dvijānām upakūjatām/ saumitre pašya pampāyāś citrāsu vanarājisu, nalināni prakāśante jale tarunasūryavat/ esā prasannasalilā padmanīlotpalāvatā, hamsakārandavākīrnā pampā saugandhikāvutā/ cakravākavutā nityam citraprasthavanāntarā, mātangamrgayūthaiś ca śobhate salilārthibhih/ padmakośapalāśāni drastum drstir hi manyate, sītāyā netrakośābhyām sadrśānīti laksmana/ padmakesarasamsrsto vrksāntaravinihsrtah, nihśvāsa iva sītāvā vāti vāvur manoharah/ saumitre paśva pampāvā daksine

girisānuni, puspitām karnikārasya yastim paramaśobhanām/ adhikam śailarājo 'yam dhātubhis tu vibhūsitah, vicitram srjate renum vāyuvegavighattitam/ giriprasthās tu saumitre sarvatah samprapuspitaiḥ, nispatraiḥ sarvato ramyaiḥ pradīpā iva kumśukaiḥ/ pampātīraruhāś ceme samsaktā madhugandhinaḥ, mālatīmallikāṣaṇḍāḥ karavīrāś ca puṣpitāḥ/ ketakyaḥ sinduvārāś ca vāsantyaś ca supuspitāh, mādhavvo gandhapūrnāś ca kundagulmāś ca sarvaśah/ ciribilvā madhūkāś ca vañjulā bakulās tathā, campakās tilakāś caiva nāgavṛkṣāś ca puṣpitāḥ/ nīpāś ca varaṇāś caiva kharjūrāś ca supuspitāḥ, ankolāś ca kurantāś ca cūrnakāḥ pāribhadrakāḥ/ cūtāḥ pātalayaś caiva kovidārāś ca puspitāḥ, mucukundārjunāś caiva drśyante girisānusu/ ketakoddālakāś caiva śirīṣāḥ śiṁśapā dhavāḥ, sālmalyah kimsukās caiva raktāh kurabakās tathā, tinisā nakta mālās ca candanāh syandanās tathā/ vividhā vividhaih puspais tair eva nagasānusu, vikīrnaih pītaraktābhāh saumitre prastarāh kṛtāh/ himānte paśya saumitre vṛksānām puspasambhavam, puspamāse hi taravah samgharsād iva puspitāh/ paśya śītajalām cemām saumitre puskarāyutām, cakravākānucaritām kārandavanisevitām/ plavaih krauñcaiś ca sampūrṇām varāhamṛgasevitām, adhikam śobhate pampāvikūjadbhir vihamgamaih/ dīpayantīva me kāmam vividhā muditā dvijāh, śyāmām candramukhīm smṛtvā priyām padmanibheksanām/ pava sānusu citresu mrgībhih sahitān mrgān mām punar mrgaśāvāksvā vaidehvā virahīkṛtam/ evam sa vilapams tatra śokopahatacetanaḥ/ avekṣata śivām pampām ramyavārivahām śubhām/ nirīkṣa māṇaḥ sahasā mahātmā; sarvam vanam nirjharakandaram ca, udvignacetāḥ saha laksmanena; vicārya duhkhopahatah pratasthe/ tāv rsyamūkam sahitau prayātau; sugrīvaśākhāmṛga sevitam tam, trastās tu drstvā harayo babhūvur; mahaujasau rāghavalaksmanau tau/ As Pampa Pushkarini's picturesque scenery which gladdened Devi Sita in her most unfortunate absence, Shri Rama was disheartened with sorrow. Having however suppressed his inner feelings, he addressed Lakshmana admiring the sparkling water flows, their smooth hittings of the waves at the banks, the tall and sturdy tree wealth on the banks like the mountian tops as surrounded and in all the salubrious climate there around. mām tu śokābhisamtaptam ādhayah pīdayanti vai, bharatasya ca duhkhena vaidehyā haranena ca/ Shokaartasyaapi me Pampaa shobhate chitra kaananaa, vyavakeernaam bahuvidhiah pushpaih sheetodakaashivaa/ At this moment, despite the happy and envigorating ambience, my inner conscience is deeply hurt by Bharata's cryings and Sita's separation. But the pull of the aromatic vibration is so overwhelming here and now as Pushkarini is submerged with lotuses, flowers of hues and scented airs, and above all the mild sweeps of soft winds; indeed my intense desire of Sita's sharing with me this Chaitra Month's Vasanta Ritu's pleasantness and softness. With varieties of flowers, the trees and plants appear to dance to the musical swings of the windy flows. ayam vasantah saumitre nānāvihaganāditah, sītayā viprahīnasya śokasamdīpano mama/ mām hi śokasamākrāntam samtāpayati manmathah, hrstah pravadamānaś ca samāhvayati kokilah/ esa dātyūhako hrsto ramye mām vananirjhare, pranadan manmathāvistam śocavisyati laksmana/ Sumitra nandana! As the groups of birds hover around the skies with varied musical notes of cacophony typical of the Spring season, the usherings of Vasanta get intensified and trouble my psyche as Kaama Deva Manmatha torments me further more with Sita- Viyoga. Lakshmana! As Sita used to imitate the Koel's musical notes with bubbling joys the pangs of seperation get inensified by minutes and my sadness gets kindled more and more. It appears that the fall out effect of this vasanta season appears to burn me to ashes; the ashoka tree flowers of redness appear to me as spots of flames seeking to tear my heart into pieces. Naahi taam, sukshma pakshmaak sheem sukesheem mridubhaashineem, apasyato me Soumitra jeevitestita prayojanam/ Sumitra nandana! In case, Devi Sita with her pretty face and soft hairs with her soft voice and readily attractive and slender figure is not present with me as of then, of what avail is of my existence! Nishpaapa Lakshmana! As the Vasanta Ritu is now in full sweep, and the cuckoo's musical notes are in swing, the presence of Sita should have been celestial but that is not to be. Mild flows of breeze, trees bearing sprouting flowers of freshness and fragrance, the ever teasing screems of cuckoo sounds, the openings of lotuses, and the ever spreading of aromas all around, are the typical of the Season of Vasanta, whose presense bestows intimacy of lovers but curses their separations. My heated up concern now is whether I could ever sight Sita, as I could see and touch the tree and flowers and fruits before me! As Videhanandini Sita is not visionable, my sorrow too gets doubled up and ever more intensified. paśya lakṣṇama nṛtyantam mayūram upanrtyati, sikhinī manmathārtaisā bhartāram girisānusu/ mayūrasya vane nūnam raksasā na

hrtā priyā, mama tv ayam vinā vāsah puspamāse suduhsahah/ Lakshmana! Look at those peacocks dancing away on hill tops with gay abandon in groups with their mates together as though they are tormented by desire as though proposed by Manmatha the God of Love. Obviously on these lovely banks of Pampa Sarovara, no rakshasa appears not to have forcefully robbed of a female peacock. paśya laksmana puspāni nisphalāni bhavanti me, puspabhārasamrddhānām vanānām śiśirātvave Lakshmana! Of which avail for me of this Vasanta Season as these gardens are flooded with flowers of unimaginable colours and fragrances, as my dearest Sita is missing here. Of which use of the groups of musical birds with wings of variety of colour splashes! Whereever Devi Sita should be there at present, there again the same vasanta season ought to be flourishing and what should be in her mind just now! As she too be in utter loneliness what should be on her mental screen just now! Surely enough, she ought to be crying away as she were under the rough custody of rakshasis, quite irrespective of the usherings of the Seasons of Nature! On the contrary, would it be even possible that recalling her golden days and the ongoing happenings around her, with the arrival of the incoming vasanta season and the golden experiences that she had in the previous vasantaas, she might not conclude her very life! Dhridham hi hridaye buddhhirmama samparivartate, naalam vartavintu Sitaa saadhnvee madviraham gataa/ My strong feeling and concern should be that Saadhvi Sita might not be able to retain her mental poise for long due to her separation from me! In fact Videha Kumari's heart felt love and attachment is anchored and set most firm and steady for me. Like wise my feelings are equally steadfast, reciprocative and reflective too. tām vinātha vihamgo 'sau paksī pranaditas tadā vāyasah pādapagatah prahṛstam abhinardati/ esa vai tatra vaidehyā vihagah pratihārakah, pakṣī mām tu viśālākṣyāh samīpam upaneṣyati/ Lakshmana! I recall now that during my erstwhile days of dandakaranya living happily and with contentment together with Devi Sita, groups of crows were squatting on the nearby tree branches and crowing away relentlessly foreboding our seperation. But now, there are forebodings to the contrary apparently indicating that the days of misfortune are drawing nearby. Lakshmana! In any case, despite these fortuitous forebodings, the fact remains that the 'viraha vedana' or my pangs of seperation are getting intensified more and more by days and even hours. Then Shri Rama fondly recalled the intense likings of Devi Sita more specifically the wide range of chirruping birds, the variety of trees, the cool flows of breeze, the transparancy of Pampa's water flows, and the glory of lotuses! Referring to lotuses, Shri Rama was reminded again of Devi Sita as her face was like of 'prafulla kamala dalaas' and the main reason of his very existence and living! Rama heaved a sigh of sorrow and exclaimed: 'aho! How human desire blurs one's inner consciousness and once not fulfilled then it would lead to frustration; my situation too is similar in the absence of Sita! What all materials that Sita was dear and fond of turn out to appeal to me and the others would not be. padmakesarasamsrsto vrksāntaravinihsrtah, nihśvāsa iva sītāyā vāti vāyur manoharah/ Lakshmana! Would not the eye flaps and the soft hair linings resemble a lotus flower in full bloom; that is presisely why I am yearning to Devi Sita! As the soft winds flowing from a lotus pond passed from there around are just like Sita's 'nishvaasaas' or exhales of her soft breathing. Having thus become replete wtith his inner feelings of 'Sita viyoga' Shri Rama was submerged in his feelings of the 'Prakriti Soundarya'. Sumitra nandana! Are you noticing the gorgeous view of the southern side of the mountatin peaks. Mixed up with the sweep of winds from the southern side of Pamma sarovara, are the blowings of winds emerging from the 'dhaatus' or the mineral deposits inbuilt into the slabs of the mountainous slopes and the shikharas too. The tree lines of Pampa Sarovara banks awashed constantly and the sweet odours emanating from Malati-Mallika-Padma-Karaveera flowers create a celsetial atmosphere. The creepers like ketaki-sinduvaara-vaasanti are full of flowers. Chirabilya-madhukascha-vakula-champakatilaka- naaga kesara fowers add up to the magnifinence. The fruits as provided by trees like Angkola-Kuranta-Choornaka-Paaribhadra- Choota-Paatali-kovidaara-arjuna are galore! Further the fruits borne of Ketaka-Uddaalaka- Shireesha-Sheesham-Dhava- Shaalmala-Palaasha-Naktamaala-chandana-syandanahintaala- tilaka-Naaga kesara add to the 'prakrita soundarya'.

[Vishleshana on Pampa Sarovara recalled from Sarga 71 of Valmiki Ramayana's Aranya Khanda: 'Enjoying the grand Prakriti soundarya and its bountiful nature, Rama Lakshmanas crossed one forest to another reached Pampa's illustrious banks called Pushkarini.Pampa sarovara is situated to the east of the Matanga hill and to the west of the Rishyamukha hill and serves as a perennial source of water as the rain waters falling on these hills flow down to the sarovara. The water thus collected is free from gravel slippery slime and duck weeds. Thus, the water is crystal clear, sparkling, limpid, cool and delightful scented with lotus fragrance. The environs of the sarovara abound in forests is rich in flora and fauna includes Swans, Ducks, Kraunches, Ospreys and such other water birds. Fishes of rare variety like Vakratunda, Rohita Nalameena are found in plenty in the sarovara. Rama Lakshmanas! When you seek to catch the multi-coloured fishes, especially in the early evenings, the Sarovara gets profoundly fabulous of sweet smells of joy, coolness, healthy, and heart filling. Nara shreshthaas! The musical sounds of monkey group screeches get so pronounced as those of constant drubbings of ear drums, sāvāhne vicaran rāma vitapī mālyadhārinah, śītodakam ca pampāyām drstvā śokam vihāsyasi/ sumanobhiś citāms tatra tilakān naktamālakān, utpalāni ca phullāni pankajāni ca rāghava/ Shri Rama! In such glorious evenings when you pass by the banks of Pushkarini and its truly hearty walks, you should forget the remote heart beatings of Devi Sita viyoga even for a while. It is a local belief of pronouncement that the disciples of Matanga Maharshi tend to surrender to silence and peaceful tranquility of the natural surroundings. As the Matanga shishyaas collect flowers and fruits, then they get tired out and the sweating drops of their bodies seem to instantly turn as fresh and sweet smell flowers by the miracle of the Maharshi. Having crossed such spell binding occurances in the forth arriving Matanga ashram, one could also witness there ahead the Punya Murti Tapasvini Shabari the embodiment of 'dharmaanushthaana'. Rama! Maha Saadhvi Shabari ought to be ever anxious for your darshana bhagya for a number of years now! Raghu nandana! Once you pass by ahead the Matanga Vana and Shabari ashram, then you would reach the foothills of Rishyamooka parvata: rsyamūkas tu pampāyāh purastāt puspitadrumah, suduhkhārohano nāma śiśunāgābhirakṣitaḥ, udāro brahmaṇā caiva pūrvakāle vinirmitaḥ/ The eastern side of Pampaa sarovara is situated the Rishyamooka Parvata foothills which around greenery of huge trees and plants fornming a picturesque scene stated to have emerged by Lord Brahma's generosity!]

Sarga 1 continues

himānte paśya saumitre vṛkṣāṇām puṣpasambhavam, puṣpamāse hi taravaḥ samgharṣād iva puṣpitāḥ/ paśya śītajalām cemām saumitre puskarāyutām, cakravākānucaritām kārandavanisevitām/Sumitra Kumara! The multi varied and the unparalleled grandeur manifested by the vasanra ritu's plethora of freshness, sweet tastes, odours is mind blowing. As the flora so is the fauna. Yadi drishyeta saa saadhyi yadi cheha yasemahi, sruhayeyam na shakraaya naayodhyaayai Raghoottama/ Na hyoyam ramaneeyeshu shaaduuleshu tayaa saha, ramato me bhavecchintaa na spruhaaneshu vaa bhavet/ Raghu shreshtha Lakshmana! If only, Saadhvi Sita were able to see and experience and if everI could ever live together and experience this glory, I should neither reach Ayodhya nor even attain swarga loka together. If only again, these green pastures and their grandeur facilitate us to live us for long, and together happily, we should never aspire of celestial pleasures and experiences. Thus having become obsessed with the prakriti soundarya and the most restless intensity of Sita viyoga, Shi Rama exclaimed to Lakshana: Imagine if ever the exemplary Dharma swarupa King Janaka were to ask me being seated in his open court with ministers, advisers, and panditas of enormous learning as to how nice his daughter had been, then what should I reply! Lakshmana! As King Dasharatha who asked me only to proceed for 'vana vaasa' might or might not appreciate Devi Sita to follow me, but as she had done so, the undertandably it would be my responsibility entirely and if only he were to ask me for Devi Sita's welfare, what should I reply! Likewise, Devi Kousaslya might ask for her and the could I sidetrack! Lakshamana! Therefore get back to Ayodhya, meet Bharata and make a public announcement that Devi Sita had been kidnapped and that Rama was feeling helpless.' So saying, as Rama broke down, Lakshmana replied: 'Purushotthama Shri Rama! Please do collect your scattered feelings now. It does not ever behove a person of your stature like you! 'Sita viyoga' should not rattle the most exemplary human being ever likewise. Ya di gacchhati paataalam tatodyadhikameva vaa, sarvathaa Ravanastaataa na bhavishyati Raghava! Dear Raghu nandana! Even if Ravana were to be pulled up or there underneath, he ought to be dragged up to decimation. First let us know and assess him and then ascertain whether Devi Sita would be returned safe with respect and apologise; other wise, we know how to destroy him mercilessly.

[Recall the <u>Sandhi-Vigrah- Yaana- Aasana-Dwidhi bhaava and samaashraya</u> or the principles of Truce and Tolerance-Vigraha or the conflict of similar forces-Yaana suggesting travel or movement of forces

for attach- aasana or waiting time- dwividha or bheda bhaava or break up of the opponent and finally the battle and victory, as suggested by the celestial form of Rakshasa Kabandha to Rama Lakshmanas vide Sarga Sixty Nine of Aranya Khanda of Valmiki Ramayana]. Lakshmana further assauged Rama's feelings: Svaasthyam bhadram bhajasvaarya tvajyataam krupanaamatih, artho hi nashtaa kaaryaarthairayatnenaadhi gamyate/ Utsaaho balayaanaarya naasyutsaahaat param balam, sotsaahaasya hi lokeshu na kinchidapi durlabham/ Arya Rama! Do be enthusiastic and courageous; get rid of helplessness and fallen morale. If the solid input of hard work and mental application as followed by physical exertion, how indeed anybody could achieve results. Brother! Enthusiasm ought to be the solid base for sustained hard work and the desired results would not be ensured. Utsaahavantah Purushaa naavaseedanti karmasu, utsaahamaatramaashritya pratilapsyaam Jaanakeem/ Tvajataam kaama vrittatvam shokam samnasya pushthitah, mahaatmaanam kritaatmaanam naavabudhyase/ Once a person fortifies with fervor and passion, even the toughest hurdle gets surmounted; never even give up the resolve and the targetted securing of Janaka nandini! Do destroy your diffidence and watering up of concentration. Rama! You are a Mahatma and Kritatma; at this unfortunate time, may your own stature of vision and valor ought not to slip my even a bit!' As Rama got himself pulled up, he recalled his slipping self confidence and his nerves got toughned and bolstered driven by action instead of a wavery mind and body. Then Rama Lakshmanas proceeded with envigorated resolve and fortified confidence. As they approached the outskirts of Rishyamooka Parvata, Sugriva was freely roaming about and spotted two handsome, tall and sturdy humans with 'dhanur baanas' in hermit dresses. He wondered whether these humans were despatched by his enemies. Other 'vanaras' in the vicinity also wondered as to who these humans could me, partly fearfully and partly curiously. Sugriva wondered that the vicinities of Matanga Maha Muni were not entereable by his enemy brother or his men and thus kept wondering as to who these impressive humans could be!

Sarga Two

As Sugriva and follower vaanaraas were still wondering, Hanuman felt convinced and confident and directed Shri Rama Lakshmanas to appoach their head Sugriva the fugitive King of Vaanaras. Tau tu dṛṣṭvā mahātmānau bhrātarau rāmalakṣmaṇau, varāyudhadharau vīrau sugrīvaḥ śaṅkito 'bhavat/ udvignahrdayah sarvā diśah samavalokayan, na vyatisthata kasmims cid dese vānarapumgayah/ naiva cakre manah sthāne vīksamāno mahābalau, kapeh paramabhītasva cittam vyavasasāda ha/ cintavitvā sa dharmātmā vimṛśya gurulāghavam, sugrīvaḥ paramodvignaḥ sarvair anucaraiḥ saha/ tataḥ sa sacivebhyas tu sugrīvah plavagādhipah, śaśamsa paramodvignah paśyams tau rāmalaksmanau/ etau vanam idam durgam vālipranihitau dhruvam, chadmanā cīravasanau pracarantāv ihāgatau/ tatah sugrīvasacivā drstvā paramadhanvinau, jagmur giritatāt tasmād anyac chikharam uttamam/ te ksipram abhigamyātha yūthapā yūthaparsabham, harayo vānaraśrestham parivāryopatasthire ekam ekāyanagatāḥ plavamānā girer girim, prakampayanto vegena girīnām śikharāṇi ca/ tataḥ śākhāmṛgāḥ sarve plavamānā mahābalāh, babhañjus ca nagāms tatra puspitān durgasamsritān āplavanto harivarāh sarvatas tam mahāgirim, mṛgamārjāraśārdūlāms trāsayanto yayus tadā/ tataḥ sugrīvasacivāḥ parvatendram samāśritāh, samgamva kapimukhvena sarve prāñjalavah sthitāh/ tatas tam bhayasamtrastam vālikilbisaśankitam, uvāca hanumān vākyam sugrīvam vākyakovidah/ vasmād udvignacetās tvam pradruto haripumgava, tam krūradarsanam krūram neha pasyāmi vālinam/ yasmāt tava bhayam saumya pūrvajāt pāpakarmanah, sa neha vālī dustātmā na te paśyāmy aham bhayam/ aho śākhāmṛgatvam te vyaktam eva plavamgama, laghucittatayātmānam na sthāpayasi yo matau/buddhi vijñāna sampanna ingitaih sarvam ācara, na hy abuddhim gato rājā sarvabhūtāni śāsti hi/ sugrīvas tu śubham vākyam śrutvā sarvam hanūmatah, tatah śubhataram vākyam hanūmantam uvāca ha/ dīrghabāhū viśālākṣau śaracāpāsidhāriṇau, kasya na syād bhayam dṛṣṭvā etau surasutopamau/ vālipraṇihitāv etau śanke 'ham purusottamau, rājāno bahumitrās ca visvāso nātra hi kṣamaḥ/ arayas ca manusyeṇa vijñeyās channacārinah, viśvastānām aviśvastāś chidresu praharanti hi/ kṛtyesu vālī medhāvī rājāno bahudarśanāh, bhavanti parahantāras te jñeyāh prākṛtair naraih/ tau tvayā prākṛtenaiva gatvā jñeyau plavamgama, śankitānām prakāraiś ca rūpavyābhāsanena ca/ laksayasva tayor bhāvam prahṛṣṭamanasau yadi, viśvāsayan praśaṁsābhir iṅgitaiś ca punaḥ punaḥ/ mamaivābhimukhaṁ sthitvā precha tyam haripumgaya, prayojanam prayeśasya yanasyāsya dhanurdharau/śuddhātmānau yadi ty

etau jānīhi tvam plavamgama, vyābhāṣitair vā rūpair vā vijñeyā duṣṭatānayoḥ/ ity evam kapirājena samdiṣṭo mārutātmajaḥ, cakāra gamane buddhim yatra tau rāmalakṣmaṇau/ tatheti sampūjya vacas tu tasya; kapeḥ subhītasya durāsadasya, mahānubhāvo hanumān yayau tadā; sa yatra rāmo 'tibalaś ca laksmanah/

Even from a distance as Rama Lakshmanas were entering the approach points of the Rishyamooka parvata, Sugriva was rather apprehensive and thus could not remain steady in movement and mind. Sugriva was essentially a Dharmatma with deep knowledge of Raja Dharma or Kingship duties. He was however suspiscious and hence asked his ministers: Surely appears that Vaali his opponent brother King of Vanaras had despatched these two enemies to us with their queer dress yet with 'dhanur baanaas'. As an ample precaution, Vaali's trusted vanaras surrounded by some distance in batches and were ready with strong branches of the huge trees uprooted my their hands around. Slowly and steadily, Rama Lakshmanas reached atop the Parvata. As main vanaras encircled Sugriva, Rama Lakshmanas saluted Sugriva with folded hands from a distance. On noticing that Rama Lakshmanas too were looking apprehensive, Hanuman representing Sugriva initiated his conversation as being an expert conversationalist, even from distance. 'Gentlemen!May be you seem to be wary of the fear of Vaali and thus seem to be afraid. This is the well known mount named Malaya and you need not to have any concern about him as he was cursed by Mahatma Matanga Muni and as such he could never enter here. This mount is under the command of this Sugriva our King. You may have been wondering as to why these vanara soldiers had been following you in groups; after all, you are aware that instinctively we the vanaras are mischievous. buddhi vijñāna sampanna ingitaih sarvam ācara, na hy abuddhim gato rājā sarvabhūtāni śāsti hi/ Appearing as you do, you seem that you are of buddhi and vigjnana or maturity of thinking and knowledge, and you could understand that we vanarasa by nature are likewise. Are you not aware that a king's mind and thoughts are as per the instinctive feelings of the follower beings and then only he could administer ably!' Sugriva having been truly appreciative manner of Hanuman's covincing flow of thoughts and words to Rama Lakshmanas, accosted Hanuman interveningly and said: 'Hanuman! Don't you realise that these two gentlemen appear as tall, sturdy, high shouldered and alert armed with 'dhanush baanaas' and sword like Deva Kumaras! Naturally, one could get suspiciously remarkable and hence we should be discreet enough to ensure whether they were Vaali's spies. Sugriva further addressed Hanuman: arayaś ca manusyena vijñeyāś channacārinah, viśvastānām aviśvastāś chidresu praharanti hi/ kṛtyeṣu vālī medhāvī rājāno bahudarśanāḥ, bhavanti parahantāras te jñeyāḥ prākṛtair naraiḥ/One should be able to distinguish the genuine or fake; 'Vishvaasa' or the word called faith and trust ought to lead from instinct although the latter might fail sometimes and hence the need for discretion. Vaali in these deeds is an expert; Kings tend to realise make-belief acts very well and that is how they are able to crack up enemies. That is how persons like Vaali resort to devious means like spying or the art of espionage. Kapi shreshtha Hanuman! That is why you should meet the strangers casually and extract details of thems and then conclude the background information about the strangers with deftness. Do seek to learn their intentions and aspirations, by creating feelings of innocence and confidence. Vaanara shiromani Hanuma! Do keep staring at me with inexperience and learn as much about the strangers; what indeed could be the reason of approaching us; do they sound genuine and are they asking any favor from us!' As Vanara King Sugriva briefed in detail likewise, Pavan Kumara Hanuman reached Rama Lakshmanas once again.

Sarga Three

<u>Hanuman reached Rama Lakshmanas in a Tapasvi form, complemented Rama Lakshmanaas by their</u> appearance and Hanuman was pleased

Vaco vijñāya hanumān sugrīvasya mahātmanaḥ parvatād rśyamūkāt tu pupluve yatra rāghavau/ sa tatra gatvā hanumān balavān vānarottamaḥ upacakrāma tau vāgbhir mrdvībhiḥ satyavikramaḥ/ svakam rūpam parityajya bhikṣurūpeṇa vānaraḥ, ābabhāṣe ca tau vīrau yathāvat praśaśamsa ca/ rājarṣidevapratimau tāpasau samśitavratau, deśam katham imam prāptau bhavantau varavarṇinau/ trāsayantau mrgagaṇān anyāmś ca vanacāriṇaḥ, pampātīraruhān vrkṣān vīkṣamāṇau samantataḥ/ imām nadīm śubhajalām śobhayantau tarasvinau, dhairyavantau suvarṇābhau kau yuvām cīravāsasau/ simhaviprekṣitau vīrau simhātibalavikramau, śakracāpanibhe cāpe pragṛhya vipulair bhujaiḥ/ śrīmantau

rūpasampannau vrsabhaśresthavikramau, hastihastopamabhujau dyutimantau nararsabhau/ prabhayā parvatendro 'yam yuvayor avabhāsitah, rājyārhāv amaraprakhyau katham deśam ihāgatau/ padmapatrekṣaṇau vīrau jaṭāmaṇḍaladhāriṇau, anyonyasadṛśau vīrau devalokād ivāgatau/ yadṛcchayeva samprāptau candrasūryau vasumdharām, viśālavakṣasau vīrau mānuṣau devarūpiṇau. simhaskandhau mahāsattvau samadāv iva govrsau, āvatās ca suvrttās ca bāhavah parighottamāh, sarvabhūṣaṇabhūṣārhāḥ kim artham na vibhūṣitaḥ/ ubhau yogyāv aham manye rakṣitum pṛthivīm imām, sasāgaravanām krtsnām vindhyameruvibhūṣitām/ ime ca dhanuṣī citre ślakṣṇe citrānulepane, prakāśete vathendrasya vaire hemavibhūsite/ sampūrnā niśitair bānair tūnāś ca śubhadarśanāh, jīvitāntakarair ghorair įvaladbhir iva pannagaih/ mahāpramānau vipulau taptahātakabhūsitau, khadgāv etau virājete nirmuktabhujagāv iva/ evam mām paribhāsantam kasmād vai nābhibhāsathah, sugrīvo nāma dharmātmā kaś cid vānarayūthapah, vīro vinikrto bhrātrā jagad bhramati duhkhitah/ prāpto 'ham presitas tena sugrīvena mahātmanā, rājñā vānaramukhyānām hanumān nāma vānarah/ yuvābhyām saha dharmātmā sugrīvah sakhyam icchati, tasya mām sacivam vittam vānaram pavanātmajam/ bhikṣurūpapraticchannam sugrīvaprivakāmyayā, rśvamūkād iha prāptam kāmagam kāmarūpinam/ evam uktvā tu ĥanumāms tau vīrau rāmalaksmanau, vākyajñau vākyakuśalah punar novāca kim cana/ etac chrutvā vacas tasva rāmo lakşmanam abravīt, prahṛṣṭavadanaḥ śrīmān bhrātaram pārśvataḥ sthitam/ sacivo 'yam kapīndrasya sugrīvasya mahātmanaḥ, tam eva kānkṣamāṇasya mamāntikam upāgataḥ/ tam abhyabhāṣa saumitre sugrīvasacivam kapim, vākyajñam madhurair vākyaih snehayuktam arimdamam/ Having been suitably convinced by King Sugriva's statements as to how to assess the true nature of strangers, proceeded down the hill but assumed the form of a bhikshu or a sanyasi and greeted Rama Lakshmanas. He initiated the conversation by stating that the stranger Rama Lakshmanas: 'Veera Purushas! Both of you appear to be 'satya paraakramis' and Rajarshis as of Devatas-like tapasvis observing severe some vrata. Your physical brilliance is indeed readily arresting but why have you come to these forests and now to this picturesque Pampa Sarovara! You seem to be very courageous and enterprising with high shoulders as of royalties. Please introduce your selves properly. Your glances are like of lions as of strengh and courage moving slowly yet perfectly like a royal elephant. In fact, your presence in this Rishyamooka parvata areas and into these dense forest surroundings is not possible really unless intentional or accidental. In any case, you both have truly brought brightness to the Rishyamooka. Both of you veera purushas!interestingly enough both of you are adorned with 'jataajuta' on your heads; both of you are alike; Maha Veeras! Have you descended from Deva Loka as you do certainly look distinguished like Surya Deva and Chandra Deva together on to earth on your own free volition having taken human forms. Your broad shoulders are similar to those of lions, being broad, strong and well rounded up. I feel that you have surely appeared here ensure peace and auspiciousness to this mother earth as repleted with samudras, parvataas like Vindhya and Meru and the forests and their inhabitant species like human beings, animals and birds. Sirs! You are carrying sharp and potent arrows and 'tuneera' which look attracrtive but devastating with your mantra shakti. Your long and short swords are nodoubt sparkling but ought be sharp and forceful. Veeraas! I have been describing details of your physical appearances and characteristics for long with admiration for long, but are you not divulging about who you are and what is the real purpose of your arrival to this difficult teraain of the mountain reaches rather suddenly! This area is under the control of our leader named Sugriva the 'sreashtha vaanara' and a 'dharmatma' and a 'maha veera'. His elder brother named Vaali- a 'maha parakrami' discarded him, threw him from his house and as such he has been literally hiding from Vaali and moving about aimlessly eversince away in this very mountain area as protected by Matanga Muni's curse to Vaali and is thus safe for us. Sugriva, our leader who, despatched me to asceratin your identification. My name is Hanuman and I am also too of Vanara vamsha! Dharmatma Sugriva extends his welcome to you; you may consider me as his 'mantri'. I am the vanara putra of Vayu Deva.

<u>Vishleshana on Anjaneya on his origin and illustrative stutis- a ready repeat reference vide Essence of Valmiki Bala Ramayana released by www. kamakoti.org-books section:</u>

Kesari the son of Gautami Rishi and Kesari's wife Anjana secured a grand son named *Hanuman* with the 'Amsa' (facet) of Parama Shiva and Vayu Deva too was responsible in the birth of the boy. Mistaking Surya Deva for a red-coloured fruit, the boy was tempted to fly skywad tried to hold Surya Deva, as Indra

threw his Vajra on Hanuman's body and Ravana tried to hold Hanuman's tail but Hanuman never left his firm hold of Surya Deva. Ravan kept on fighting for a year in vain and tried to wriggle out of Hanuman's powerful clasp. Meanwhile Rishi Vishrava arrived at the spot and eulogised Hanuman to release Ravana the terror of the Universe. There after Hanuman resided for long time at Pampapura on the banks of PampaRiver as a strong fixture and was thus acclaimed as 'Sthanu'. Also since Ravana who had dictated the World and controlled Devas was humiliated by *Anjaneya*, his name and fame spread as Hanuman: *Nighnanta cha Suraan mukhyan Ravanam Lokaraavanam, Nihanti Mushthirbhayah sa Hanumaaniti vishrutah*. (Ravana who was in the habit of badly hurting Devas and related Demi-Gods and killing Vishnu- Bhaktas without mercy had thus been restrained badly and received a jolt by Hanuman; the 'Mushtighatas' or 'Hanus' (beatings of closed hand grasps) damaged Ravana was the reason why Hanuman was named as such. Lord Brahma informed Hanuman that during the twenty eighth Tretayuga's first Part of Vaivaswa Manvantara, Bhagavan Vishnu would take the Incarnation of Shri Rama and that he would achieve Rama's unreserved devotion to Hanuman and destroy the clan of Ravana, his cruel brothers and sinful sons. (Bhavishya Purana)

Illustrative Stutis: Manojayam Maaruta tulya yegam jitendriyambuddhimataam yarishtham, aataatmajam Vaanara yudha mukhyam Sri Rama dutam sharanam prapadye/ I bow in reverenceto Anjaney whose thinking capacity as fast as wind, who is in all respects like his father the Vayu Deva in speed and mental agility, as the master of senses, the Supreme among intellectual strength, the leader of the Monkey brigade and the foremost follower of Shri Rama Chandra! Hanuman anjanaasuunur vaayuputro maha balah, Rameshthah Phalguna sakhah pingaakshomita vikramah udadhityukramanaschaiva Seetaashoka vinaashanah Lakshmana praana daataacha Dasha greevascha darpaha, dyaadashaitaani naamaani Kapeendrasya Mahaatmanah svaapakaale pathennichyam yaatraa kaale viseshitah tasya mrityu bhayamnaasti sarvatra vijayee bhavet/Maha bala Hanuman, the illustrious son of Anjana Devi and Vayu Deva! You are the beloved of Lord Shri Rama and dear friend of Arjuna; famed for brown eyes, the valiant hero of popularity who crossed the ocean with the unique purpose of assuaging Devi Sita's tearful misery, the wreckless destroyer of the fabled Ashoka Garden, the saviour of Lakshmana by fetching mrita sanjeevani overnight from Himalayas and the historic subduer of Ravana! Even a fleeting prayer to you by a sincere devotee frees from death and leads to victory especially during one's travels! Atulita baladhaamam hemashailaabhideham, danujavana krishaanum jnaani naama agraganyam/ Sakala guna nidhaanam vaanaraanaamadheesham Raghupatipriya bhaktam Vaatajaatam namaami/ Om ham Hanumate namah/ Anjaneya! Our sincere salutations to you! Your body strength is like that of a golden mountain; you are like gigantic fire destroying the huge forest full of demonaic enemies; yet you are the symbol of wisdom and knowledge, the outstanding devotee of Shri Rama the singular and illustrious son of Vayu Deva! Buddhi balam yasho dhairyam nirbhayatvam arogataa, ajaadyam vaakpatutvam cha Hanutsmaranadbhavet/ We pray to Hanaman Deva to surely secure 'buddhi balam' or mental sharpness and physical strength, reputation and fearlessness, resistance to physical diseases or even ailments and above all finesse in expression and convincing power! Yatra yatra Raghunadha keertanam, tatra tatrakritamastakaanjalim/ Baashpayaari paripurna lochanam Maarutim namata raakshsaantakam/ When and where there are singing and music sessions of Lord Rama's glories, there and then Lord Hanuman is readily seated with folded hands and emotionally charged wet eyes! Such indeed is the scene of Anjneya who provides a safety zone to Rama bhaktas. Daily Hanuman Mantra: The Hanuman Mantra for daily recital on the 11 days of worship is as follows: Om namo Hanumate prakata rupaaya, aakraanta digmandala yashovitaana dhavaleekrita jagatpita vajra deha jvaladagni Suryakoti samaprabha tanuuruha Rudraavataara Lankaapuri dahana udhadhi langhana Dashgreeva shirah kritaantaka Seetaa sevaasana Vayu suta, Anjanagarbha sambhuta Shri Rama Lakshmana -andakara, Kapi sainya praakaara Sugreeva sakhya kaarana, Bali nibarshana kaarana, drona parvatotpaatana, Ashoka vana vidaarana, Akshakumaarakacchedana, Vanarakshaakara samaanayana, Baalodita Bhaanumandala grasana, Meghanaada hom vidhvamsana, Indrajivadha kaarana, Seetaa rakshaka raakshasee sangha vidaarana, Kumbhakarnaadi vadha paraayana, Shri Raama bhakti tatpara, Samudravyomadruma langhana mahaasaamardhya, Maha tejah punja viraajamaana, swaami vachana sampaadita, Arjuna samyuga sahaaya, Kumara Brahmacharin, gambheera shabdodaya, Dakshinaashaa Martaanda, Meruparvata

peethikaarchana, sakala mantraagamamaachaarya, mama sarva graha vishaadasana, Sarvajvarocchaatana, Sarva Visha vinaashana, Sarvaapatti nivaarana, Sarva dushta nibarhana, Sarva vyaaghraadi bhaya nivaarana, Sarva shatrucchedana, Mama parasyacha trihuvana pum streena pumsakaatmaka Sarva jeeva jaatam vashaya naanaa naamadheyaan sarvaan raagjna saparivaaraan mama seyakaan kuru kuru, Sarya shastraastra yishaani yidhyamsaya yidhyamsaya, mama sarya kaarya jaatam saadhaya saadhaya sarva dushta durjana mukhaani keelaya/Recital of this Paramapavitra Hanuman mantra japa bestows veeratva, keerti, tejas and ojas. Another popular stanza of for daily recital is as follows: Hanunaananjanaa soonur Vaayu putro maha balah,Raameshtah Phalguna sakhah pingaakshomita vikramah/ Udadhi kramanaschiva Seeta shoka vinaashakah, Lakshmana praana daataacha Dashagreevascha darpaha/ Dvaadashitaani naamaani Kapeendrasya mahabalah,svaapakaale pathennityam yaatraakaale visheshatah, tasya mrityu bhayam naasti sarvatra vijayee bhavet/] Stanzas 22-24 follow: yuvābhyām saha dharmātmā sugrīvah sakhyam icchati, tasya mām sacivam vittam vānaram pavanātmajam/ bhikṣurūpapraticchannam sugrīvapriyakāmyayā, ṛśyamūkād iha prāptam kāmagam kāmarūpinam/ Hanuman continues his address to Shri Rama Lakshmanas: 'Dharmatma Sugriva seeks your friendship; you may consider me as his mininster and advisor. Being the son of my father Vayu Deva, I could assume to what ever form that I would wish for. Right now I have arrived here in the form of a mendicant' As Hanaman concluded his prashamasha and with the invitation as from the fugitive King Sugriva, Shri Rama was pleased addressed Lakshmana: 'Sumitra nandana! This minister of maha manasyi Sugriva had been sent to invite us. Named Hunuman, he appears to have assessed us closely and capable of objective assessment and worthy of sweet reciprocation. I am getting convinced that a capable personality who might not have studied and experienced the nuances of RigVeda Shiksha, Yajur Vedaabhyaasa, and Sama Veda Vidvat could be capable of rendering such conversational finesse. Surely he should have mastered Vedangas of Siksha, Vyakarana, Kalpa Grandha, Nirukta, Chhandas, and Jyotisha and also expertise in 'swadhyaaya' or self study!

Vishleshana on Vedangas: Siksha is essentially about Sangeeta or Music the Swara Shastra viz. Sapta Swaras, Gramas or scale or gamut in music, Murchanas or intonations/modulations, ten Gunas, Padas (letters); Kalpa grantha comprises kalpas of Nakshatra or Chandra-Nakshatra movement; Veda for attaining Purushardhas viz, Dharma-Artha- Kaama-Moksha; Samhita about Tatwa Darshi, Mantras Chhandas etc; Angirasa Kalpa about abhichara vidhi vidhana like procedures of magic, charms, benevolent or malevolent karma kaanda and finally Shanti Kalpa, Mantras, Procedures, to ward off dangers, and usher in good tidings from Celestial, Terrestrial, extra terrestrial sources. Griha Kalpa too is significant like Homa Prakriyas, Mudras, Mangala Snaanaas, Abhishekas, Pujas for Deva-Devis and Nava Grahas etc. Vyakarana Shastra is about grammar, vibhaktis or cases, vachanas, naama - sarvanaamas, Pratyaya, Samaasa, Karakas. Nirukta is derived and rhetoric or artificial interpretation seeking to bring our the hidden meaning of Vedas; viz. 'nir' connoting the comprehensive sense that is sought to be conveyed and 'ukta' states that which is revealed more than what is concealed. Chhandas Shastra is stated as the feet of Vedas, being 'Vaidik' and 'Loukik'; Gayatri-Brihati-Ushnik-Jagati-Trishthup-Anushthup -Pankti being the Chhando Vidhi and the various combinations of 'Ganas' varied basically with 'ya-maa-taa-raa-ja-baa-na-sa-la-ga' and poetry made there of in three letter combinations; the ruling deities of the Ganas are: Ya gana (Water), Ma gana (Prithvi), Ta gana (Sky), Ra gana (Agni/ fire), Ja gana (Surya), Bha gana (Chandra), Na gana (Ayu or Life/health) and Sa gana (Vaayu). Jyotisha Shastra is all about Siddantha Ganita, Jaataka/ hora, and Samhita. The means of Jyotisha are Panchanga Sadhana by way of Thithi-Vaara-Nakshatra-Karana-Yoga; Grahana Sadhana of Solar/ Lunar Eclipses, besides Dik-Sadhana. Jaataka Skandha is the Science of Raashi-Shad Varga, 'Maitri Bhaavaabhaavaas' and Graha-Nakshatra compatibilities. 1

Stanza 29 onward: Nuenam vyakaranam krutsnamanena bahudhaa shrutam, bahu vyaayarataanea na kinchudapashabditam/ Na mukhe netrayoschaapi lalaate cha bhruvostathaa,anyeshtvapi cha sarveshu dishah samviditah kvachit/Lakshmana!Most certainlywhat ever he has stated is purely gramattical as he ought to have practised by way of 'swaadhyaaya', since his conversationlistic style is impeccable while neither an impure word nor an uncouth expression had slipped up ever. While conversing, his face, eyes, hands or any other body parts and gestures are quite tuned up to his clean, clear, well balanced

expessions. Hanuman has expressed his opnions candidly with no breaks of expressions, wordings, sentences, and ramblings of thoughts. His voice is hearty, medium, direct and straightforward. *Anayaa chitrayaa vaachaa trishaanavyanjanatrayaa, kasya naaraadhyate chittamdyataaserarerapi*/ How could indeed be not delightened as someone expresses most convincingly with his unique voice as the party being addressed could have no choice but to follow with spontaniety'. So telling brother Lakshmana, Shri Rama replied to Hanuman: *Viditaa nou gunaa vidvan Sugrivasya mahatmanah, tameva chaavaam maargaavah Sugrivam plavageshwaram*/ *Yathaa braveeshi Hanuman Sugriva vachanaadiha, tat tathaa hi karishyaavo vachanaat tama sattama*/ 'Vidvan Hanuman!We have by now well appreciated the oustanding qualities of Sugriva. We both have actually arrived here seeking to locate and looking for him. Saadhu shiromana Hanuman! We appreciate your kind offer to take us and firm up friendship with him.' Hanuman was pleased by Shri Rama's eagerness to follow him to approach Sugriva.

Sarga Four

Lakshmana briefed Hanuman about their purpose of 'Sitaanveshana' and seeking Sugriva's close friendship and active assistanace- Hanuman's assurance for unswerving and dutiful cooperation Tatah prahrsto hanumān krtvavān iti tad vacah, śrutvā madhurasambhāsam sugrīvam manasā gatah/ bhavyo rājyāgamas tasya sugrīvasya mahātmanaḥ, yad ayam kṛtyavān prāptaḥ kṛtyam caitad upāgatam/ tataḥ paramasamhṛṣṭo hanūmān plavagarṣabhaḥ, pratyuvāca tato vākyam rāmam vākyaviśāradaḥ/ kimartham tvam vanam ghoram pampākānanamanditam, āgatah sānujo durgam nānāvyālamrgāyutam/ tasya tadvacanam śrutvā laksmano rāmacoditah, ācacakse mahātmānam rāmam daśarathātmajam/ rājā daśaratho nāma dyutimān dharmavatsalah, tasyāyam pūrvajah putro rāmo nāma janaih śrutah/śaranyah sarvabhūtānām pitur nirdeśapāragah, vīro daśarathasvāvam putrānām gunavattarah/ rājvād bhrasto vane vastum mavā sārdham ihāgatah, bhārvavā ca mahātejāh sītavānugato vasī dinaksave mahātejāh prabhayeva divākarah/ aham asyāvaro bhrātā gunair dāsyam upāgatah krtajñasya bahujñasya laksmano nāma nāmatah/ sukhārhasya mahārhasya sarvabhūtahitātmanah, aiśvaryena vihīnasya vanavāsāśritasya ca/ raksasāpahrtā bhāryā rahite kāmarūpinā, tac ca na jñāyate raksah patnī yenāsya sā hrtā/ danur nāma śriyah putrah śāpād rākṣaṣatām gatah, ākhyātas tena sugrīvah samartho vānarādhipah/ sa jñāsyati mahāvīryas tava bhāryāpahāriṇam, evam uktvā danuh svargam bhrājamāno gatah sukham etat te sarvam ākhvātam vāthātathvena prochatah, aham caiva hi rāmas ca sugrīvam saranam gatau/ esa dattvā ca vittāni prāpya cānuttamam vaśah, lokanāthah purā bhūtvā sugrīvam nātham icchati/ śokābhibhūte rāme tu śokārte śaraṇam gate, kartum arhati sugrīvah prasādam saha yūthapaih/ evam bruvāṇam saumitrim karunam sāśrupātanam, hanūmān pratyuvācedam vākyam vākyaviśāradah/īdrśā buddhisampannā jitakrodhā jitendriyāh, drastavyā vānarendrena distyā darśanam āgatāh sa hi rājyāc ca vibhrastah krtavairaś ca vālinā, hrtadāro vane trasto bhrātrā vinikrto bhrśam/ karisyati sa sāhāyyam yuvayor bhāskarātmajah, sugrīvah saha cāsmābhih sītāyāh parimārgane/ ity evam uktvā hanumāñ ślakṣṇam madhurayā girā, babhāṣe so 'bhigacchāmaḥ sugrīvam iti rāghavam/ evam bruvāṇam dharmātmā hanūmantam sa laksmaṇaḥ, pratipūjya yathānyāyam idam provāca rāghavam kapiḥ kathavate hṛṣṭo yathāyam mārutātmajaḥ, kṛṭyavān so 'pi samprāptaḥ kṛṭakṛṭyo 'si rāghava' prasannamukhayarnaś ca vyaktam hrstaś ca bhāsate, nānrtam yaksyate vīro hanūmān mārutātmajah/ tatah sa tu mahāprājño hanūmān mārutātmajah, jagāmādāya tau vīrau harirājāya rāghayau/ sa tu vipula yaśāḥ kapipravīraḥ; pavanasutaḥ krtakrtyavat prahrsṭaḥ, girivaram uruvikramaḥ prayātaḥ; sa śubhamatih saha rāmalaksmanābhvām/

On hearing Shri Rama's encouraging words, Hanuman realised that Shri Rama ought to be having some extremely signifianct expectation from Sugriva and felt happy, considering that Sugriva too would be happy in the context of Vaali's sworn enemity with him. Hanuman pondered that Sugriva's chances of his 'rajya prapti' could be brighter. Then Hanuman commented while proceeding up the mount, 'Pampa sarovara banks are nodoubt attractive but the forests are risky with ferocious animals but still you both have dared to visit this place. Then Lakshmana started replyind with the tacit approval of Rama: 'Vidvan! There is famed Kingdom of Ayodhya which was popular for the Kingship of Dasharatha of Ikshvaku vamsha as he was a renowned warrior and symbol of ideal administration of the four classes of Brahmana-Kshatriya-Vaishya-and the Lower Varnas as per the golden principles of Dharma and Nyaaya. Indeed on the face of earth, King Dasharatha was famed for his unique qualities of universal popularity in

the comity of kingdoms on earth. Agnishtomaadibhiryagjnairishtavaanaapta dakshinaih, tasyaam purvajah putro Raamo naama janaih shrutah/ That famed Dasharatha performed inter alia a 'putra kameshti maha yagina' with ample money and 'dakshinas' to please pandita brahmanas and as a result were born four 'raja putras' of whom the eldest son popular as Shri Rama the outstanding. śaranyah sarvabhūtānām pitur nirdeśapāragah, vīro daśarathasvāvam putrānām gunavattarah/ rājvād bhrasto vane vastum mayā sārdham ihāgataḥ, bhāryayā ca mahātejāḥ sītayānugato vaśī,dinakṣaye mahātejāḥ prabhayeva divākarah/ Rama is unique in bestowing refuge to all the Beings and the champion of 'Pitru Vaakya Paripaalana' or the unswerving fulfiller of father's desire however insurmountable and hazardous that might be. There cropped of sudden situation when Rama had to yield to his father's perilous wish that he had to abandon his kingship and opt for the inhuman responsibility of rigourous and prescribed forest life. rājyād bhrasto vane vastum mayā sārdham ihāgatah, bhāryayā ca mahātejāh sītayānugato vaśī,dinaksaye mahātejāh prabhayeva divākarah/ Thus having lost Kingship and bearing the undreamt hardships, Shri Rama is currently having the untold misery 'bharya viyoga' as she was kidnapped. Maha bhaga Hunuman! This is the precise situation of what this Mahaanubhava Shri Rama is presently facing like the day long lumnosity of Surva Deva all along the day time closes up by the fall of the day and darkness prevails. Hanauman! I am the younger brother of Shri Rama named Lakshmana and have been arrtacted by elder brother's supreme qualities and had become a truthful follower life long. sukhārhasya mahārhasya sarvabhūtahitātmanah, aiśvaryena vihīnasya vanavāsāśritasya ca/ raksasāpahṛtā bhāryā rahite kāmarūpinā, tac ca na jñāyate raksah patnī yenāsya sā hrtā/ Anjaneya! My elder brother who treats all the Beings on Srishti visions alike, the Maha Purusha Vandaneeya or saluted by Panditas too, had rejected pleasures of life and had resorted to arduous deep forest life. To such a Maha Purusha Shri Rama, a maha rakshasa had forcibly abduced his wife in the absence of either him or me. While we were searching upside down the nooks and corners of the dandakaranya for any trace of Devi Sita, we happened to encounter a daity anamed Danu or Kabandha whom we punished by slashing his shoulders. While dying he regretted his misdemeanor, appreciated the great injustice of 'Sitaapaharana' to Rama and me and after his death his Atma enabled us to vision and guided us to reach this Rishyamooka mount and meet the fugitive King Sugriva. Maha buddhiman Hanuma, this is how we have reached here to Sugriva for his refuge and active help. evam bruvānam saumitrim karunam sāśrupātanam, hanūmān pratyuvācedam vākvam vākvaviśāradah/ As briefly sensitised the reason for Rama Lakshmanas arriving at th door step of Sugriva, then Veera Hanuman readily agreed to accompany Rama Lakshmanas to Sugriva up the Rishyamooka mountain. He discarded the Sadhu swarupa and having assumed his original huge Vanara swarupa carried up Rama Lakshmanas by his strong shoulders.

Sarga Five

Firm establishment of Agni Saakshi Friendship of Shri Rama and Sugriva and Shri Rama vows to kill Vaali to pave the way to Sugriva for unopposed Kingship of Vaanara Rajya

Riśyamūkāt tu hanumān gatvā tam malayam giram, ācacakṣe tadā vīrau kapirājāya rāghavau/ ayam rāmo mahāprājñaḥ samprāpto dṛḍhavikramaḥ, lakṣmaṇena saha bhrātrā rāmo 'yam satyavikramaḥ/ iksvākūnām kule jāto rāmo daśarathātmajah, dharme nigaditaś caiva pitur nirdeśapālakah/ tasvāsva vasato 'ranye nivatasya mahātmanah, raksasāpahrtā bhāryā sa tyām śaranam āgatah/ rājasūyāśya medhaiś ca vahnir yenābhitarpitaḥ, dakṣiṇāś ca tathotsṛṣṭā gāvaḥ śatasahasraśaḥ/ tapasā satyavākyena vasudhā yena pālitā, strīhetos tasya putro 'yam rāmas tvām śaranam gatah' bhavatā sakhyakāmau tau bhrātarau rāmalaksmanau, pratigrhyārcayasvemau pūjanīyatamāv ubhau/ śrutvā hanumato vākyam sugrīvo hṛstamānasah, bhayam sa rāghavād ghoram prajahau vigatajvarah/ sa kṛtvā mānusam rūpam sugrīvah plavagādhipah, darśanīyatamo bhūtvā prītyā provāca rāghavam/ bhavān dharmavinītaś ca vikrāntaḥ sarvavatsalaḥ, ākhyātā vāyuputreṇa tattvato me bhavadguṇāḥ/ tan mamaivaiṣa satkāro lābhaś caivottamah prabho, yat tvam icchasi sauhārdam vānarena mayā saha/ roca te yadi vā sakhyam bāhur eşa prasāritaḥ, grhyatām pāṇinā pāṇir maryādā vadhyatām dhruvā/ etat tu vacanam śrutvā sugrīvasya subhāsitam, samprahrstamanā hastam pīdayām āsa pāninā, hrdyam sauhrdam ālambya paryasvajata pīditam/ tato hanūmān samtyajya bhiksurūpam arimdamah, kāsthayoh svena rūpena janayām āsa pāvakam/ dīpyamānam tato vahnim puṣpair abhyarcya satkṛtam, tayor madhye tu suprīto nidadhe susamāhitah/ tato 'gnim dīpvamānam tau cakratuś ca pradaksinam, sugrīvo rāghavaś caiva vavasvatvam upāgatau/ tataḥ suprīta manasau tāv ubhau harirāghavau, anyonyam abhivīkṣantau na tṛptim upajagmatuḥ/ tataḥ sarvārthavidvāṁsaṁ rāmaṁ daśarathātmajam, sugrīvaḥ prāha tejasvī vākyam ekamanās tadā/

As veera Hanuman carried Rama Lakshmanas on his mighty shoulders and took up Rishyamooka where Sugriva resided and further up to the mountain peak poular as Malaya Parvata where Sugriva was awaiting Rama Lakshmanas. Then Anjaneya introduced Shri Rama Lakashmanas as the Raghu Vamsha heros. ayam rāmo mahāprājñah samprāpto drāhavikramah, laksmaņena saha bhrātrā rāmo 'yam satyavikramah/ iksvākūnām kule jāto rāmo dasarathātmajah, dharme nigaditas caiva pitur nirdeśapālakah/ tasyāsya vasato 'ranye niyatasya mahātmanah, raksasāpahrtā bhāryā sa tvām śaranam āgatah/ Maha Pragina Sugriva! Shri Rama accompanied by his younger brother have arrived here and their bravery and battle skills are stated to be extraordinary. They belong to the glorious Ikshvaku Vamsha being the sons of the famed King Dasharatha under whose instructions the Raja Kumaras have taken to forest life now. King Dasharatha had th unique distinction of performing Rajasuya and Ashvamedha Yaginas having given away dakshinas and charities. Rama had to taken to forest life since the King gave boons to his youngest queen Devi Kaikevi and in lieu thereof the latter desired Rama's vana vaasa. In obedience Rama had been truly following the instriction by way of 'pitru vakya paripalana dharma'. Along with Rama his wife Devi Sita too accompanied and so did Lakshmana on their own volitions. Mahatma Shri Rama on the path treaded my Munis of Damayita-Daana-Daya or Control-Charity-Compassion the three seeds of virtue had been observing by the letter and sprit. But most unfortunately, Mahasura Ravana abducted Pativrata Devi Sita forcibly in the absence of Rama Lakshmanas. Now, the latter have arrived here seeking your refuge and help bhavatā sakhyakāmau tau bhrātarau rāmalakṣmaṇau, pratigṛhyārcayasvemau pūjanīyatamāv ubhau/ As these two brothers of Rama Lakshmanas seek your close affinity and assistanace, please to welcome them and extend close camaraderie as these heros are highly worthy of veneration. Then Sugriva addressed the respectable brothers with reverence and admiration: tan mamaivaisa satkāro lābhaś caivottamah prabho, yat tvam icchasi sauhārdam vānarena mayā saha/ rocate yadi vā sakhyam bāhur esa prasāritah, grhyatām pāninā pāṇir maryādā vadhyatām dhruvā/ Bhagavan! I am a mere Vanara but you are a 'Nara' that too a Mahatma. As you thus condescend to me and patronize, I should consider it as my fortune and that ought to lead to the fulfillment of my fortune. I have unique pleasure and satisfaction to reciprocate the trust that you have rested on me and extend my firm hands on to yours. Shri Rama felt delighted at this highly fruitful union of close affinity. They both embraced each others and shook hands closely and vigorously. Then Hanuman resumed the form of a 'Sadhu Mahatma' as he approached Rama Lakshmanas earlier, collected dried up tree branches and lit up fire: dīpyamānam tato vahnim puspair abhyarcya satkṛtam, tayor madhye tu suprīto nidadhe susamāhitah/ tato 'gnim dīpyamānam tau cakratus ca pradaksinam, sugrīvo rāghavas caiva vayasyatvam upāgatau/ Then having duly worshipped 'agni deva' with concentration and as evidenced by the presence of 'agni- jvaalaas', Shri Rama Sugrivas performed 'pradakshinas' and firmed up mutual friendship bonds. Then the embraced each other tightly ach other and said: Tvam vavasyosi hridyo me hyokam duhkham sukham cha nou, Sugriyo Raghamam vaakyamityu vaacha prahrishthavat/ Then Shri Rama asserted to Sugriva: 'You are now henceforth my dear friend, philosopher and guide. And we should share our joys and problems together'. Then Hanuman broke up chandana tree branches and made Rama Sugrivas eated comfortaby; the Sugriva recalled reminiscently to Shri Rama: 'Shri Rama! I was banished from my house and have been wandering aimlessly. My wife too had been snatched away from me. My brother Vaali had threatened to kill me: Vaalino me mahabhaga bhayaartasyaabhayam kuru, kartumarhasi Kaakutsstha bhayam me na bhaved yathaa/Maha bhaga! Please protect me from the terror of Vaali and you should devise such a plan to destroy him.' As Sugriva stated with folded hands thus, Rama smiled and replied: Maha Kapi Sugriva! I am sure that help surely gets reciprocated as yout dear wife should soon be recovered and surely and soon Vaali would be killed. Sugriva! The might of my arrows which is surfeit with the radiance of Surya Deva is never emptied. Duraachari Vaali should soon to succumb to my poisonous serpent like arrows as he should have to fall to dust.' Sugriva replied with disbelief: Tava prasaadena nrisimha veera, priyaam cha rajyam cha samaapruyaamaham, tathaa kuru tyam naradeya yairinam yathaa na simhyaat sa punarmayaagrajam/

'Purusha Simha! I should unhesitatingly prostrate before you as my wife and kingdom were to be regained.' As he stated likewise, Sugriva shed hot tears in disbelief yet with elevated hopes and assurances.

Sarga Six

As Sugriva showed golden ornaments secured by his followers as Devi Sita threw away down from Ravana's donkey's chariot vimana, Rama readily recognised, cried away and got intensed up with anguish

Ayam ākhyāti me rāma sacivo mantrisattamah,hanumān yannimittam tvam nirjanam vanam āgatah/ laksmanena saha bhrātrā vasataś ca vane tava, raksasāpahrtā bhāryā maithilī janakātmajā/ tvayā viyuktā rudatī laksmanena ca dhīmatā, antaram prepsunā tena hatvā grdhram jatāyusam bhāryā viyogajam duhkham nacirāt tvam vimoksyase, aham tām ānavisyāmi nastām vedaśrutim yathā/ rasātale vā vartantīm vartantīm vā nabhastale, aham ānīya dāsyāmi tava bhāryām arimdama/idam tathyam mama vacas tvam avehi ca rāghava, tyaja śokam mahābāho tām kāntām ānayāmi te/ anumānāt tu jānāmi maithilī sā na saṃśayah, hriyamānā mayā drstā raksasā krūrakarmanā/ krośantī rāma rāmeti laksmaneti ca visvaram, sphurantī rāvaṇasyāṅke pannagendravadhūr yathā/ ātmanā pañcamaṁ māṁ hi dṛṣṭvā śailatate sthitam, uttarīyam tayā tyaktam śubhāny ābharaṇāni ca/ tāny asmābhir gṛhītāni nihitāni ca rāghava, ānavisyāmy aham tāni pratyabhijñātum arhasi/ tam abravīt tato rāmah sugrīvam priyavādinam, ānayasva sakhe śīghram kimartham pravilambase/ evam uktas tu sugrīvah śailasya gahanām guhām, praviveśa tataḥ śīghram rāghavapriyakāmyayā/ uttarīyam grhītvā tu śubhāny ābharanāni ca, idam paśyeti rāmāya darśayām āsa vānarah/ tato gṛhītvā tadvāsah śubhāny ābharaṇāni ca, abhavad bāṣpasamruddho nīhāreṇeva candramāḥ/ sītāsnehapravṛttena sa tu bāṣpeṇa dūṣitaḥ, hā priyeti rudan dhairyam utsrjya nyapatat ksitau/ hrdi krtvā sa bahuśas tam alamkāram uttamam, niśaśvāsa bhrśam sarpo bilastha iva rositah/ avicchinnāśruvegas tu saumitrim vīksya pārśvatah, paridevayitum dīnam rāmah samupacakrame/ śādvalinyām dhruvam bhūmyām sītayā hriyamānayā, utsṛstam bhūsanam idam tathārūpam hi drśyate/ brūhi sugrīva kam deśam hriyantī laksitā tvayā, raksasā raudrarūpena mama prāṇasamā priyā/kva vā vasati tad rakṣo mahad vyasanadam mama, yannimittam aham sarvān nāśavisyāmi rāksasān/ haratā maithilīm yena mām ca rosayatā bhrśam, ātmano jīvitāntāya mrtyudvāram apāvṛtam/ mama dayitatamā hṛtā vanād; rajanicarena vimathya yena sā, kathaya mama ripum tam adya vai; pravagapate yamasamnidhim nayāmi/

Sugriva addressed Shri Rama as follows: 'Hanuman conveyed what all Lakshmana had narrated as to why you had to take to the forest life, that along with Devi Sita and Lakashmana were with you always, that Rakshasa Ravana forcibly abducted Devi Sita when she was alone, that maha grudhra Jataayu attacked Ravana but the latter had beaten down Jatayu severely despite a valiant effort and that how you are being subjected to the intense grief of 'Sita Viyoga' presently. But this is my assurance to you Shri Rama: bhāryā viyogajam duḥkham nacirāt tvam vimokṣyase, aham tām ānayiṣyāmi naṣṭām vedaśrutim yathā/ rasātale vā vartantīm vartantīm vā nabhastale, aham ānīya dāsyāmi tava bhāryām arimdama/ My forceful pledge to you should be that you be soon relieved of your grief and that Devi Sita ought to be recovered soon and this be surely considered as 'Veda Vani'. Even if Devi Sita were in Rasaatala or the high skies, your dear wife would be recovered very soon and that I should hand her over to you safely. Raghu nandana! Kindly treat my statements with seriousness and gravity of these fast passing times. Devi Sita is like such poison fillled bhojan to anybody else, be they asuras or devatas even! Therefore, Rama! Kindly discard your relentless 'duhkha'. It is my pratagina that I should facilitate the recovery of Devi Sita safe. Incidentally: anumānāt tu jānāmi maithilī sā na samsayah, hriyamāṇā mayā dṛṣṭā rakṣasā krūrakarmaṇā/krośantī rāma rāmeti lakṣmaṇeti ca visvaram, sphurantī rāvaṇasyānke pannagendra vadhūr yathā/ one day, I witnessed a horrible scene on the lower skies that maha rakshasa with fierce profile and looks was forcibly taking away a respectable female. Now, I recall that she might have been Mithileshkumaari Sita. Indeed, that should havebeen Devi Sita; she was crying away and making 'aartanaadaas' or shouts of desperation: 'hey Rama, ha Lakshmana'; she was seated on the rakshas's lap like a hissing 'nagini' under duress and harrasment. ātmanā pañcamam mām hi dṛṣṭvā śailataṭe sthitam, uttarīvam tavā tyaktam subhāny ābharanāni ca/ tāny asmābhir grhītāni nihitāni ca rāghaya, ānavisyāmy

aham tāni pratyabhijñātum arhasi/ I myself was seated along with four ministers at that very moment. On sighting me far down below on the mountain top, Devi Sita appeared to have thrown down her 'uttareeyam' or upper body covering cloth and 'aabharanaas' or body jewellery. Raghu nandana! We have kept those jewellery items, can you possibly recognise them!' Having so said Sugriva called up a nearby vanara soldiers who preserved them safe in a nearby cave. tato grhītvā tadvāsah śubhāny ābharaṇāni ca, abhavad bāṣpasamruddho nīhāreṇeva candramāh/ sītāsnehapravṛttena sa tu bāṣpeṇa dūṣitah, hā priyeti rudan dhairyam utsrjya nyapatat kṣitau/ Having instantly recognised Devi Sita's upper garment and the jewellery, Rama gestured a false smile, pressed the items to his chest and cried 'ha priye' and broke down and swooned down to earth. On recovery, he breahed heavy and hot like a cobra; enen as his hot tears were rolling down his palpidated chest addressed Lakshmana: avicchinnāśruvegas tu saumitrim vīksya pārśvatah, paridevayitum dīnam rāmah samupacakrame/ śādvalinyām dhruvam bhūmyām sītayā hriyamānayā, utsṛstam bhūsanam idam tathārūpam hi dṛśyate/ 'Lakshmana! Devi Sita having been forcibly snatched by the Ravana Rakshasa, had utilised her will power and 'samaya sphurti' or spontaneous and timely act of throwing down her 'uttareeyam and aabharanas'! Surely these might have been dropped in grass fields and thus not torn nor broken down'. Lakshmana replied: dear brother! I would not be able to recognise either her 'bhuja keertis' or shoulder jewellery or her ear rings but most certainly her 'nupuras' of foot jewellery since he would daily greet her feet in the early mornings!' Then Shri Rama addressed Sugriva! Have you now realised the way in which Ravana had abducted as Devi Sita was in despair and desperation. Please try to recall the direction in which the donkey chariot flew off from here. kva vā vasati tad rakso mahad vyasanadam mama, yannimittam aham sarvān nāśayisyāmi rākṣasān/ haratā maithilīm yena mām ca roṣayatā bhṛśam, ātmano jīvitāntāya mṛtyudvāram apāvṛtam/ mama dayitatamā hrtā vanād; rajanicarena vimathya vena sā, kathaya mama ripum tam adya vai; pravagapate yamasamnidhim nayāmi/ Maha Vaanara Sugriva! Kindly inform me precisely as to which possible place that the Rakshasa might be staying as I wish to reach and open up the gates of his stay and break open the doors of Mrityu to him and only on his account of his own misdoing his followers and his entire race! Dear friend Sugriva, this is the time when you should truly vindicate mutual friendhip and do your best to hint me about Ravana's whereabouts!

Sarga Seven

As Shri Rama expressed his anguish and anger too, Sugriva seeks to assuage Rama's inner feelings and assures 'karya siddhi' finally; reciprocatively Rama assures Sugriva to regain his kingdom and wife too! Evam uktas tu sugrīvo rāmenārtena vānarah, abravīt prāñjalir vākyam sabāspam bāspagadgadah/ na jāne nilayam tasya sarvathā pāparakṣasah, sāmarthyam vikramam vāpi dauskulevasva vā kulam/ satvam tu pratijānāmi tyaja śokam arimdama, karisyāmi tathā yatnam yathā prāpsyasi maithilīm/ rāyanam saganam hatvā paritosyātmapaurusam, tathāsmi kartā nacirād yathā prīto bhavisyasi/ alam vaiklavyam ālambya dhairyam ātmagatam smara, tvadvidhānām na sadrsam īdrsam buddhilāghavam/ mayāpi vyasanam prāptam bhāryā haranajam mahat, na cāham evam śocāmi na ca dhairyam parityaje/ nāham tām anuśocāmi prākṛto vānaro 'pi san, mahātmā ca vinītaś cā kim punar dhṛtimān bhavān/ bāṣpam āpatitam dhairvān nigrahītum tvam arhasi, marvādām sattvavuktānām dhrtim notsrastum arhasi/ vvasane vārtha krcchre vā bhaye vā jīvitāntage, vimršan vai svayā buddhyā dhrtimān nāvasīdati/ bālišas tu naro nityam vaiklavyam yo 'nuvartate, sa majjaty avaśah śoke bhārākrānteva naur jale/ eṣo 'ñjalir mayā baddhah pranayāt tvām prasādaye, paurusam śraya śokasya nāntaram dātum arhasi/ ye śokam anuvartante na tesām vidyate sukham, tejaš ca ksīyate tesām na tvam šocitum arhasi/ hitam vayasya bhāvena brūhi nopadiśāmi te, vayasyatām pūjayan me na tvam śocitum arhasi/ madhuram sāntvitas tena sugrīvena sa rāghavah, mukham aśrupariklinnam vastrāntena pramārjayat/ prakṛtiṣṭhas tu kākutsthah sugrīvavacanāt prabhuḥ, sampariṣvajya sugrīvam idam vacanam abravīt/ kartavyam yad vayasyena snigdhena ca hitena ca, anurūpam ca yuktam ca kṛtam sugrīva tat tvayā/ eṣa ca prakṛtiṣṭho 'ham anunītas tvayā sakhe, durlabho hīdrso bandhur asmin kāle visesataļ/ kim tu yatnas tvayā kāryo maithilyāh parimārgane, rāksasasya ca raudrasya rāvanasya durātmanah/ mayā ca yad anustheyam visrabdhena tad ucyatām, varsāsv iva ca suksetre sarvam sampadyate tava/ mayā ca yad idam vākyam abhimānāt samīritam, tat tvayā hariśārdūla tattvam ity upadhāryatām anrtam noktapūrvam me na ca vaksye kadā cana, etat te pratijānāmi satvenaiva sapāmi te/ tatah prahrstah sugrīvo vānaraih sacivaih

saha, rāghavasya vacaḥ śrutvā pratijñātam viśeṣataḥ/ mahānubhāvasya vaco niśamya; harir narāṇām ṛṣabhasya tasya, kṛtam sa mene harivīra mukhyas; tadā svakāryam hṛdayena vidvān/

As Shri Rama got agitated emotionally, Sugriva too was reacted and started crying sentimetally and with a low and hoarse tone stated: Prabho! I am not aware of the background of Ravanasura, his vamsha, resoding area, his physical might and such details, but as far as my pratigina is concerned, I declare with all my firm conviction that Devi Sita ought to be returned safe to you. rāvaṇaṁ sagaṇaṁ hatvā paritoṣyātmapauruṣam, tathāsmi kartā nacirād yathā prīto bhaviṣyasi/ alaṁ vaiklavyam ālambya dhairyam ātmagataṁ smara, tvadvidhānāṁ na sadṛśam īdṛśaṁ buddhilāghavam/ To ensure the fullfillment of your delight, I will spare no effort from me and my followers and reveal the final 'purushartha' to all of us. But meanwhile, do not get agitated now but pull up your natural trait of self restraint. You are surely aware that persons of your own mental caliber seldom succumb to the most trying crises. I am an ordinary Vanara but do not always lose my heart as my wife too has been kept under duress by brother Vaali. bāṣpam āpatitaṁ dhairyān nigrahītuṁ tvam arhasi, maryādāṁ sattvayuktānāṁ dhṛtiṁ notsraṣṭum arhasi/ vyasane vārtha kṛcchre vā bhaye vā jīvitāntage, vimṛśan vai svayā buddhyā dhṛtimān nāvasīdati/ Your immediate effort should be to srop crying as you are well aware that 'Saatvika Purushas'never cross the limit of Maryada and Dhairya of resolve and courage.

[Brief vishleshana on Tri Gunas:

Sattva is described as the fountain of Goodness and happiness in a pure form. Its colour is stated to be white standing for purity, integrity, happiness, contentment, forgiveness and faith. The Rajas Guna is stated to be red in colour and is featured as false pride, deceipt, avarice, hatred and selfishness. The Tamo Guna standing for black colour is stated to feature ignorance, lack of resources, anger, fear and quarrelsomeness. There is no set identity of the Gunas but are intermingled and rapidly changeable. A person who is Good basically might spurt out into anger and pride and change over in the same breath to fear. But surely the resultant impact would be disastrous.]

As a human being takes to constant crying, he tends to succumb to fear, which leads further to negation of 'duhkha nivarana upaya' or the ways and means of assuaging sorrow, and in turn 'adhairya' or lack of courage. Those human beings who are shaken up the fear are often sunk in with their boats drawn down the flows of one's own tears! eṣo 'ñjalir mayā baddhaḥ praṇayāt tvām prasādaye, pauruṣam śraya śokasya nāntaram dātum arhasi/ ye śokam anuvartante na teṣām vidyate sukham, tejaś ca kṣīyate teṣām na tvam śocitum arhasi/ My folded hand request to you Shri Rama! Kindly never resort to crying as that dims down the capacity to think, plan and resolve to execute. Shoka leads to suspicion and the consequent timidity. Hence you ought to discard 'shoka' and weakens resolve.

[Refer to Vishleshana on 'Arishad Vargas' vide Bhagavad Gita and Kathopanishad:

Bhagavad Gita states: Duhkeshvanudvignamanaah sukheshu vigataspruhah, veetaraaga bhaya krodhah sthitadheer- muniruchyate/Getting terribly agitated while facing insurmountable impediments and getting extremely overjoyed by very joyous experiences is the negation of an equanimous mind and the ability to neutralise the emotions. One's capacity to neutralise the inner emotions of pleasures and pains alike is the State of 'Sthitapaginantva'! Sorrows and joys are the consequences of discontent and of success. The vicious circle of discontentment leads to disappointment which itches on the fear of failure. This creates irritability, fear, anguish, anger, and back to dissatisfaction of life. Sadhakas realise that without Shiva's approval even an ant or insect would not do harm. And 'Shivaagina' is on account of one's own doings of the previous births and of the ongoing one, besides the estimated future foretellings too. The Karma Sutra explains: Avashyamanubhoktavyam sthitam karma shubhamashubham/ or our own 'karma phala' or the sweetness or sourness of the fruit is reciprocated. That firm belief of hope or disappointment as the case that may be, is the 'Atma Swarupa' which certainly not is the body but the Self Consciouness of the concerned body which is clean and transparent and indestructible and eternal. Dhaayato Vishayaan Pumsah sangasteshoopajaayate, sangaatsanjaayate kaamah kaamaat krodhobhi jaayate, sangaatsanjaayate kaamah kaamaat krodhobhijaayate/Krodhaadbhavati sammohah sammohat smriti vibhramah, smriti bhramshaah buddhi naashah buddhi naashaat pranashyati/Every human being is subject to desires; if the desires are not fulfilled, there would be disappointment and eventual frustration; the resultant grief develops anguish and instability of mind; this further shapes up as anger coupled with

wrong judgment and discretion which results in further failures! Such is the impact of the proverbial 'arishad vargas' or the six ememies of human beings viz. Kaama krodha lobha moha mada matsaras or excessive desires, anger, selfishness and avarice, infatuation, ego and jealousy. Raaga dvesha niyuktaistu vishaanindriyaischaran, aatmavashyarvidheyaatmaa prasaadamadhigacchati/ Prasaade sarva duhkhaanaam haani rasyopajaayate, prasanna chetasohyaashu buddhih parya patishthate/ If one is able to control desires and dislikes, then there can be regulation of mind and least disturbance of peace. Kathopanishad vide I.iii.3-4 states: Aatmaanam rathinam vidhuh, shareeram rathameva tu, buddhim tu saarathim viddhi, manah pragrahameyacha/ Indriyaani hayaanaahu vishaayamsteshu gocharam, ateendriya mano yuktam bhokteetyaahur maneeshinaam/ This Individual Self is denoted as the Master of the Chariot, body is the chariot, charioteer is the 'buddhi' or the Intellect / Mind the bridle. The Pancha Indriyas are the horses viz. the Pancha Karmendriyas ie.the eyes-ears- mouth-nose-reproductive cum excretionary organs and Pancha Jnenendriyas of seeing-hearing-eating- breathing and the concerned of the last afore said. Besides, material objects are the roads as countless. Those who understand these details are called the Self and the latter has the body adjuncts and the mind)] Prasaade sarva duhkhaanaam haanirasyopajaayate prasanna chetasohyaashu buddhih paryapatishthate/ Peace of Mind could be routinised even as one goes on a feee spree of fulfilling desires of life yet within one's mental control. But once 'chitta shuddhi' or the purity of conscience is tarnished and 'indriya nigraha' or control of senses is lost then the mental bridle gets tilted off.]

Stanza 14 onward: hitam vayasya bhāvena brūhi nopadiśāmi te, vayasyatām pūjayan me na tvam śocitum arhasi/Sugriva continued addressing Shri Rama to fortify himself and not to keep on crying: 'I am providing this advice to you as my dear friend not as a lecture; please do not misunderstand me. Dear Rama, do not cry'. In response, Rama tried to assume normalcy and replied to Sugriva: 'As a good friend, this kind of timely assuaging my unbearable sorrow is indeed expected from you. Now, I am getting back to nomalcy. Further, you may tell me if you desire any kind of assistance from me, do indicate to me unhesitatingly to me and I assure you its fulfillment like seeds of good crops should flourish in the rainy season. mayā ca yad idam vākyam abhimānāt samīritam, tat tvayā hariśārdūla tattvam ity upadhāryatām/ anrtam noktapūrvam me na ca vakṣye kadā cana, etat te pratijānāmi satyenaiva śapāmi te/ Vanara sreshtha! In the context of your own difficulty in reference to your elder brother Vaali, you may explain to me in detail and I assure you that the needful should be assuredly due to your hearts's contentment. Neither ever in the past nor now, I have had never ever given false promises in my life and even right now I should make a 'pratigina' and swear by my truthfulness.' As Shri Rama affirmed likewise, Sugriva was delighted and felt assured that soon his dreams should turn true to reality! Sarga Eight

Shri Rama assures help in killing Vaali and enquires of Sugriva about the details of their mutual enmity Paritustas tu sugrīvas tena vākyena vānaraḥ,lakṣmaṇasyāgrajam rāmam idam vacanam abravīt/ sarvathāham anugrāhyo devatānām asamśayah, upapannaguņopetah sakhā yasya bhavān mama/ śakyam khalu bhaved rāma sahāyena tvayānagha, surarājyam api prāptum svarājyam kim punaḥ prabho/ so 'ham sabhājyo bandhūnām suhrdām caiya rāghaya, yasyāgnisāksikam mitram labdham rāghaya vaṃśajam/ aham apy anurūpas te vayasyo jñāsyase śanaih, na tu vaktum samartho 'ham syayam ātmagatān guṇān/ mahātmanām tu bhūyiṣṭham tvadvidhānām krtātmanām, niścalā bhavati prītir dhairyam ātmavatām iva/rajatam vā suvarnam vā vastrāny ābharanāni vā, avibhaktāni sādhūnām avagacchanti sādhavah/ ādhyo vāpi daridro vā duḥkhitah sukhito 'pi vā, nirdoṣo vā sadoṣo vā vayasyaḥ paramā gatih/ dhanatyāgah sukhatyāgo dehatyāgo 'pi vā punah, vayasyārthe pravartante sneham dṛstvā tathāvidham/ tat tathety abravīd rāmah sugrīvam priyavādinam, lakṣmaṇasyāgrato lakṣmyā vāsavasyeva dhīmataḥ/ tato rāmam sthitam dṛṣṭvā lakṣmaṇam ca mahābalam, sugrīvaḥ sarvataś cakṣur vane lolam apātayat/ sa dadarśa tataḥ sālam avidūre harīśvaraḥ, supuspam īṣatpatrāḍhyam bhramarair upaśobhitam/ tasyaikām parnabahulām bhanktvā śākhām supuspitām, sālasyāstīrya sugrīvo nisasāda sarāghavah/ tāv āsīnau tato dṛstvā hanūmān api laksmanam, sālaśākhām samutpātya vinītam upaveśayat/ tatah prahṛstah sugrīvah ślaksnam madhurayā girā, uvāca pranayād rāmam harşavyākulitākşaram/ aham vinikrto bhrātrā carāmy eşa bhayārditaḥ, rsyamūkam girivaram hrtabhāryah suduhkhitah/ so 'ham trasto bhave magno vasāmy udbhrāntacetanah, vālinā nikrto bhrātrā

krtavairas ca rāghava/ vālino me bhayārtasya sarvalokābhayamkara, mamāpi tvam anāthasya prasādam kartum arhasi/ evam uktas tu tejasvī dharmajño dharmavatsalah, pratyuvāca sa kākutsthah sugrīvam prahasann iva/ upakāraphalam mitram apakāro 'rilakṣaṇam, adyaiva tam haniṣyāmi tava bhāryāpahāriṇam/ ime ĥi me mahāvegāḥ patriṇas tigmatejasaḥ, kārtikeyavanodbhūtāḥ śarā hemavibhūsitāh/ kaṅkapatrapraticchannā mahendrāśanisaṁnibhāh, suparvānah sutīksnāgrā sarosā bhujagā iva/ bhrātṛsamjñam amitram te vālinam kṛtakilbiṣam, śarair vinihatam paśya vikīrṇam iva parvatam/ rāghavasya vacaḥ śrutvā sugrīvo vāhinīpatiḥ, praharṣam atulam lebhe sādhu sādhv iti cābravīt/ rāmaśokābhibhūto 'ham śokārtānām bhavān gatih,vayasya iti kṛtvā hi tvayy aham paridevaye/ tvam hi pānipradānena vayasyo so 'gnisāksikah, krtah prānair bahumatah satyenāpi sapāmy aham/ vayasya iti krtvā ca visrabdham pravadāmy aham, duhkham antargatam yan me mano dahati nityaśah/ etāvad uktvā vacanam bāspadūsitalocanah, bāspopahatayā vācā noccaih saknoti bhāsitum/ bāspavegam tu sahasā nadīvegam ivāgatam, dhārayām āsa dhairyena sugrīvo rāmasamnidhau/ samnigrhya tu tam bāspam pramrjya nayane śubhe, viniḥśvasya ca tejasvī rāghavam punar abravīt/ Puraaham Vaalinaa Rama rajyaat svadavaropitah, parushaani cha samshraavya nirdhutosmi baleeyasaa/ Hrutaa bharyaa cha me tena praanabhyopi gareeyasee, suhrudascha madeeyaa ye samyataa bandhaneshute/ Yatnavaamscha sa dushtaatmaa madvinaashaaya Raghava, bahushasta prayuktaascha vaanaraa nihataa mayaa/ upakāraphalam mitram apakāro 'rilakṣaṇam, adyaiva tam haniṣyāmi tava bhāryāpahārinam/ śankayā tv etayā cāham drstvā tvām api rāghava, nopasarpāmy aham bhīto bhaye sarve hi bibhyati/kevalam hi sahāyā me hanumat pramukhās tv ime, ato 'ham dhārayāmy adya prānān kṛcchra gato 'pi san/ ete hi kapayaḥ snigdhā mām rakṣanti samantataḥ, saha gacchanti gantavye nityam tisthanti ca sthite/ samksepas tv esa me rāma kim uktvā vistaram hi te, sa me įvestho ripur bhrātā vālī viśrutapauruṣaḥ/tadvināśād dhi me duḥkham pranaṣṭam syād anantaram, sukham me jīvitam caiva tadvināśanibandhanam/ esa me rāma śokāntah śokārtena niveditah, duhkhito 'duhkhito vāpi sakhyur nityam sakhā gatih/śrutvaitac ca vaco rāmah sugrīvam idam abravīt, kimnimittam abhūd vairam śrotum icchāmi tattvatah/sukham hi kāranam śrutvā vairasya tava vānara, ānantaryam vidhāsyāmi sampradhārya balābalam/ balavān hi mamāmarsah śrutvā tvām avamānitam, vardhate hṛdayotkampī prāvrdvega ivāmbhasah/ hṛṣṭaḥ kathaya visrabdho yāvad āropyate dhanuh, sṛṣṭaś ca hi mayā bāṇo nirastaś ca ripus tava/ evam uktas tu sugrīvaḥ kākutsthena mahātmanā, praharṣam atulam lebhe caturbhih saha vānaraih/ tatah prahrstavadanah sugrīvo laksmanāgraje, vairasva kāranam tattvam ākhyātum upacakrame/

Sugriva was delighted as Rama assured of help and said: 'Bhagavan! Now I am assured that the Celestials have decided to help me and now in your form I am fortunate to forge strong friendship with a Maha Purusha. Shri Rama! A person of your calibre could even restore Deva's Empire even against the Evil Forces, then resroration of my lost kingdom should be too casual for you. so 'ham sabhājyo bandhūnām suhrdām caiva rāghava, yasyāgnisāksikam mitram labdham rāghava vamsajam/Raghunandana!Now, my status among by relatives and friends in our society has bevome elvated as the glorious Raghuvamsha Rajakumara had forged close friendship with 'Agni Saakshi'. I too should now prove my credentials as a friend worthy of you. I may not be able to suitably express your inimitable traits but my confidence keeps strenghened as the time ticks away minute by minute. dhanatyāgah sukhatyāgo dehatyāgo 'pi vā punah, vayasyārthe pravartante sneham dṛṣṭvā tathāvidham/ 'Anagha Shri Rama! Saadhu Purushas like you do for the sake of ideal friendship could sacrifice their wealth, pleasures, and even their kingdoms even!' As Sugriva stated thus, Laksmana reacted: 'Sugriva my dear friend! what ever you have uttered just now of not coincidental but a matter of Pure Truth.' On the following day, Sugriva noticed a 'Saala Vriksha' and broke id down to spread its leaves and flowers himself and made Rama Lakshmanas seated comfortably and explained as follows: aham vinikrto bhrātrā carāmy eşa bhayārditah, rśyamūkam girivaram hṛtabhāryaḥ suduḥkhitaḥ/ so 'haṁ trasto bhaye magno vasāmy udbhrāntacetanaḥ, vālinā nikṛto bhrātrā kṛtavairas ca rāghava/ vālino me bhayārtasya sarvalokābhayamkara, mamāpi tvam anāthasya prasādam kartum arhasi/ Prabho! My brother turned me out of my own residence and owned my wife too. I am shaken by his fear and ran for life and have been hiding on the Rishyamooka Mountain caves. Even now, my fright of him haunts me and eversince been roaming around with fright of life. Even after he threw me out and owned my wife, I keep bewildered my days and nights shuddered by his very thought and

memory. As Sugriva stated thus, Shri Rama Replied: upakāraphalam mitram apakāro 'rilaksanam, adyaiva tam hanisyāmi tava bhāryāpahārinam/ Sakha Sugriva! Be it known clearly the 'upakaara' or help offereed is the fruit of friendship and 'apakara' is the trait of hatred and hostility; rest assured that today itself I should like to kill Vaali. Maha bhaaga Sugriva! Trust me that my arrows are extremely ferocious and furious like of Indra's Vajrayudha. Vaali samgjayamitram te bhraataram kritakilbisham, sharaairvinihatam passhy vikeernamiva parvatam/ With the force of these arrows, the body of Vaali who had been tormenting you and had the audacity of turning your wife as his own by force would most assuredly fallen to earth like a mountain falls in smithereens,' Then Sugriva was moved into a promising but a dream come true and replied: 'Rama! I had already sworn rubbing our palms and hands together by 'Agni Saakshitva'. I have declared unflinching 'mitrarva'. You are my unique friend and thus trust you even by closing by eyes and opening my heart. That is why I have sought your help. Puraaham Vaalinaa Rama rajyaat svadavaropitah, parushaani cha samshraavya nirdhutosmi baleeyasaa/ Hrutaa bharyaa cha me tena praanabhyopi gareeyasee, suhrudascha madeeyaa ye samyataa bandhaneshute/ Yatnavaamscha sa dushtaatmaa madvinaashaaya Raghava, bahushasta prayuktaascha vaanaraa nihataa mayaa/Shri Rama! Long back, balishtha Vaali started conversing with me harshly and soon he usurped my kingdom and further forcibly seized my dear wife whom I used to love adoringly; then he imprisoned by followers,; further when he kicked my out of the house and the kingdom. Having traced me on the mountain, [since he might not enter this muntain due to Maharshi's shaapa] he despatched scores of his soldiers to murder me but I killed them all. Raghuadha! When I saw you first, I had suspected that Vaali despatched yet another follower of his and that was why I did not come down the mountain to receive you and hence asked Hanuman to ascertain your credentials. Raghunandana! I have briefly explained my present pitiable situation. Indeed Vaali is my own elder brother but is me sworn evemy; my mental and physical torture could be ended only by ending of Vaali.' Then Shri Rama replied: sukham hi kāranam śrutvā vairasya tava vānara, ānantaryam vidhāsyāmi sampradhārya balābalam/ balavān hi mamāmarsah śrutvā tvām avamānitam, vardhate hṛdayotkampī prāvṛdvega ivāmbhasah/ hṛstah kathaya visrabdho yāvad āropyate dhanuh, sṛstaś ca hi mayā bāno nirastaś ca ripus tava/ Vaanara Raja! I wished to understand details of your enmity and the provocations and then only decide thed killing of Vaali; now that you have given me the details, then I should devise the action plan. Before I would straighten by dhanush and set the arrows, the background would need to be known but once that planning stage is through then the arrow gets released then the shatru's head and body get swirling onto the lap of the killer' As Rama declared thus, the four ministeres of Sugriva clapped shoutingly in rapturous screams of victory!

Sarga Nine

Sugriva then provides an account of the root causes of his antagonism with his elder brother Vālī nāma mama bhrātā jyeṣṭhaḥ śatruniṣūdanaḥ, pitur bahumato nityam mama cāpi tathā purā/ pitary uparate 'smākam jyestho 'yam iti mantribhiḥ kapīnām īśvaro rājye kṛtah paramasammatah/ rājyam praśāsatas tasya pitrpaitāmaham mahat, aham sarveşu kāleşu praṇataḥ preṣyavat sthitaḥ/ māyāvī nāma tejasvī pūrvajo dundubheh sutah, tena tasva mahad vairam strīkrtam viśrutam purā/ sa tu supte jane rātrau kiskindhād vāram āgatah, nardati sma susamrabdho vālinam cāhvavad rane/ prasuptas tu mama bhrātā narditam bhairavasvanam, śrutvā na mamṛṣe vālī niṣpapāta javāt tadā/ sa tu vai niḥsṛtaḥ krodhāt tam hantum asurottamam, vāryamānas tatah strībhir mayā ca pranatātmanā/ sa tu nirdhūya sarvānno nirjagāma mahābalah, tato 'ham api sauhārdān nihsrto vālinā saha' sa tu me bhrātaram dṛstvā mām ca dūrād avasthitam, asuro jātasamtrāsah pradudrāva tadā bhṛśam/ tasmin dravati samtraste hv āvām drutataram gatau, prakāśo 'pi kṛto mārgaś candrenodgacchatā tadā/ sa tṛṇair āvṛtam durgam dharaṇyā vivaram mahat, praviveśāsuro vegād āvām āsādya viṣṭhitau/ tam praviṣṭam ripum dṛṣṭvā bilam roşavasam gatah, mām uvāca tadā vālī vacanam ksubhitendriyah/ iha tvam tistha sugrīva biladvāri samāhitah, yāvad atra praviśyāham nihanmi samare ripum/ mayā tv etad vacah śrutvā yācitah sa paramtapa, śāpayitvā ca mām padbhyām praviveša bilam tadā/ tasya pravistasya bilam sāgrah samvatsaro gatah, sthitasya ca mama dvāri sa kālo vyatyavartata/ aham tu nastam tam jñātvā snehād āgatasambhramaḥ, bhrātaram na hi paśyāmi pāpaśanki ca me manah atha dīrghasya kālasya bilāt tasmād vinihsrtam, saphenam rudhiram raktam aham drstvā suduhkhitah/ nardatām asurānām ca

dhvanir me śrotram āgataḥ, nirastasya ca saṃgrāme krośato niḥsvano guroḥ ahaṁ tv avagato buddhyā cihnais tair bhrātaraṁ hatam, pidhāya ca biladvāraṁ śilayā girimātrayā, śokārtaś codakaṁ kṛtvā kiṣkindhām āgataḥ sakhe/ gūhamānasya me tattvaṁ yatnato mantribhiḥ śrutam/ tato 'haṁ taiḥ samāgamya sametair abhiṣecitaḥ/ rājyaṁ praśāsatas tasya nyāyato mama rāghava, ājagāma ripuṁ hatvā vālī tam asurottamam/ abhiṣiktaṁ tu māṁ dṛṣṭvā krodhāt saṁraktalocanaḥ, madīyān mantriṇo baddhvā paruṣaṁ vākyam abravīt/ nigrahe 'pi samarthasya taṁ pāpaṁ prati rāghava, na prāvartata me buddhir bhrātṛgauravayantritā, mānayaṁs taṁ mahātmānaṁ yathāvac cābhyavādayam, uktāś ca nāśiṣas tena saṁtuṣṭenāntarātmanā/

Then Sugriva explained that he and his elder brother Vaali were the sons of Riksharaja who was quite popular those days. 'After the demise of the father, the ministers appointed me as the King. In due course, I gained popularity of the traditional kingdom and treated the citizens with affection and devotion. Even before my Kingship there was a cruel and gigantic danava by name 'Mayavi' and his sons were named 'Maya' and 'Dundubhi'. Vaali my elder brother had a problem on account of a female. One mid night time, when the citizens of the kingdom were fast asleep, Mayavi danaca shouted for Vaali and challenged him for an encounter. Vali was asleep but having got awaken by the thunderous shouts of challenge to Vaali, he rushed out despite my prostrations. On seeing the dreadful and huge sized asura, I was frightened and tried to run away but the danava sighted me; in the chase Vaali too joined me. In that chase, midnight moon shine guided us towards a huge cave as we halted down. The Daanava too chased upto and right into the cave. Then Vaali shouted on me as an order to me: iha tvam tistha sugrīva biladvāri samāhitah, yāvad atra praviśyāham nihanmi samare ripum/ mayā tv etad vacaḥ śrutvā yācitah sa paramtapa, śāpayitvā ca mām padbhyām praviveša bilam tadā/ tasya pravistasya bilam sāgrah samvatsaro gataḥ, sthitasya ca mama dvāri sa kālo vyatyavartata/ Sugriva! Till such time that the enemy gets killed by me do wait for me standing. I prostrated him not to enter the cave alone but let me accompany him. He outright rejected the plea and rushed in reiterating his command. As Vaali thus entered, Sugriva waited for a full one year. aham tu nastam tam jñātvā snehād āgatasambhramah, bhrātaram na hi paśyāmi pāpaśanki ca me manah/ atha dīrghasya kālasya bilāt tasmād vinihsṛtam, saphenam rudhiram raktam aham dṛṣṭvā suduḥkhitaḥ/ nardatām asurāṇām ca dhvanir me śrotram āgatah, nirastasva ca samgrāme krośato nihsvano guroh/ As there was no sign of either Vaali or the Danaya, I felt that the brother lost his way inside the huge and yawning cave and felt agitated about his whereabouts. Then after a very long lapse of days and nights, I witnessed flows of blood outside the cave and got disconcerted and disturbed. Even then there were gigantic shouts possibly of the collosal danava. No doubt Vaali too was capable of shrieks likewise but might not be of this kind of thunderous echo. aham tv avagato buddhyā cihnais tair bhrātaram hatam, pidhāya ca biladvāram śilayā girimātrayā, śokārtaś codakam kṛtvā kiskindhām āgatah sakhe/ gūhamānasya me tattvam yatnato mantribhih śrutam/ Thus as there were no signs of Vaali's victory thus, I firmed up that my dear and highly reputed, intrepid hero brother was gone for ever. Then I closed the entry of the deep cave with a massive rock and performed 'jajaanjali tarpanas' and broke the most unfotunate tragedy faced by the kingdom of Kishkindha. In the absence of Vaali the ministers declared me as the King, But, after a lapse of years, brother Vaali re-surfaced; he imprisoned the ministers. As I prostrated before Vaali, he bursted and screemed at me with vengence.

Sarga Ten

As Sugriva recounted as to how Vaali displayed his vengeance against him

Tataḥ krodhasamāviṣṭam samrabdham tam upāgatam, aham prasādayām cakre bhrātaram priyakāmyayā/ diṣṭyāsi kuśalī prāpto nihataś ca tvayā ripuḥ, anāthasya hi me nāthas tvam eko 'nāthanandanaḥ/ idam bahuśalākam te pūrṇacandram ivoditam, chatram savālavyajanam pratīcchasva mayodyatam/ tvam eva rājā mānārhaḥ sadā cāham yathāpurā, nyāsabhūtam idam rājyam tava niryātayāmy aham/ mā ca roṣam kṛthāḥ saumya mayi śatrunibarhaṇa, yāce tvām śirasā rājan mayā baddho 'yam añjaliḥ/ balād asmi samāgamya mantribhiḥ puravāsibhiḥ, rājabhāve niyukto 'ham śūnyadeśajigīṣayā/ snigdham evam bruvāṇam mām sa tu nirbhartsya vānaraḥ, dhik tvām iti ca mām uktvā bahu tat tad uvāca ha/ prakṛtīś ca samānīya mantriṇaś caiva sammatān, mām āha suhṛdām madhye vākyam paramagarhitam/ viditam vo yathā rātrau māyāvī sa mahāsuraḥ, mām samāhvayata krūro

yuddhākānksī sudurmatih/ tasya tad garjitam śrutvā nihsrto 'ham nrpālayāt, anuyātaś ca mām tūrnam ayam bhrātā sudārunah/ sa tu drstvaiva mām rātrau sadvitīvam mahābalah, prādravad bhayasamtrasto vīkṣyāvām tam anudrutau, anudrutas tu vegena pravivesa mahābilam/ tam praviṣṭam viditvā tu sughoram sumahad bilam, ayam ukto 'tha me bhrātā mayā tu krūradarsanaḥ/ ahatvā nāsti me saktiḥ pratigantum itah purīm, biladvāri pratīksa tvam vāvad enam nihanmy aham/ sthito 'vam iti matvā tu pravisto 'ham durāsadam, tam ca me mārgamāṇasya gataḥ samvatsaras tadā/sa tu dṛṣṭo mayā śatrur anirvedād bhayāvahaḥ, nihataś ca mayā tatra so 'suro bandhubhiḥ saha tasyāsyāt tu pravṛttena rudhiraugheṇa tad bilam, pūrnam āsīd durākrāmam stanatas tasva bhūtale/ sūdavitvā tu tam śatrum vikrāntam dundubheh sutam, niskrāmann eva paśyāmi bilasya pihitam mukham/ vikrośamānasya tu me sugrīveti punah punah, vadā prativaco nāsti tato 'ham bhrśaduhkhitah/ pādaprahārais tu mayā bahuśas tad vidāritam, tato 'ham tena niskramya yathā punar upāgatah/ tatrānenāsmi samruddho rājyam mārgayatātmanah, sugrīvena nṛśamsena vismṛtya bhrātṛsauhṛdam/ evam uktvā tu mām tatra vastrenaikena vānarah, tadā nirvāsayām āsa vālī vigatasādhvasah/ tenāham apaviddhaś ca hṛtadāraś ca rāghava, tadbhayāc ca mahīkṛtsnā krānteyam savanārnavā/ rsyamūkam girivaram bhāryāharaṇaduḥkhitaḥ, pravisto 'smi durādharṣam vālinah kāranāntare/ etat te sarvam ākhvātam vairānukathanam mahat, anāgasā mavā prāptam vyasanam paśya rāghava/ vālinas tu bhayārtasya sarvalokābhayamkara, kartum arhasi me vīra prasādam tasya nigrahāt/ evam uktaḥ sa tejasvī dharmajño dharmasamhitam, vacanam vaktum ārebhe sugrīvam prahasann iva/ amoghāh sūryasamkāśā mameme niśitāh śarāh, tasmin vālini durvṛtte patisyanti rusānvitāh/ yāvat tam na hi pasyeyam tava bhāryāpahārinam, tāvat sa jīvet pāpātmā vālī cāritradūṣakaḥ/ātmānumānāt paśyāmi magnam tvām śokasāgare, tvām aham tārayiṣyāmi kāmam prāpsvasi puskalam/

Even as he begged of his sinceremost apologies of Sugriva, Vaali did not relent but recoiled with venemous reactions. Sugriva begged at Vali's feet: 'Anaatha nandana! I am so fortunate and proud that you had returned with glory and success. Now, you're my unique support and refuge. Kindly do me the honour of accepting this luminous 'chhatra' as the symbol of your acceptance of your Kingship. Vaanara Raaja! Having been drowned in suspenseful waiting for a year waiting at the door step of the 'Maha Guha' with trepidation and anguish, I witnessed streams of raw blood flowing out from the cave and my heart had literally broken down as I was truly benumbed in my body parts and deep within my mind and heart. Then I had shut down with a huge mountain rock and having offered my sincere jalaanjali and tarpanas most earnestly and returned back to the kingdom with a broken heart. Vishadaattivah maam drushtvaa pouromantribhirava cha, abhishikto na kaameena tanme kshantu tvamarhasi/ Tvameva Raja maanaarhah sadaa chaaham yayhaa puraa, raaja bhave niyogoyam mama tvadvirahaat kritah/ As I returmed alone broken hearted, the citizens and ministers hastened my rajyabhishaka but had not willingly conceded thed status. Do please excuse me for my indiscretion as indeed you are the rightful King and as ever I am your 'sevaka'. 'Be it announced to Mantris, pura vaasis and the entirety of the kingdom that Maha Raja Vaali is our glorious King. mā ca rosam kṛthāh saumya mayi śatrunibarhana, yāce tvām śirasā rājan mayā baddho 'yam añjalih/ balād asmi samāgamya mantribhih puravāsibhih, rājabhāve nivukto 'ham śūnyadeśajigīsavā/Soumya! Shatru sudana! Kindly do not get angry with me. Raja! I pray to you with my head down and folded hands. The Minsters and citizens had coerced me to be be the king so that our shatru kings should not attack a headless kingdom.' As Sugriva entreated in all possible means, Vaali shouted thunderously with fuming rage at Sugriva: 'I hate you'. There after he hissed like a badly hurt cobra and spread venom all over at Sugriva. Then he hauled up the ministers and shouted at them: You ought to have had some thinking ability to realise that the Mayaavi Danava screamed at me to battle with anger; I had therefore to exit the Raja Bhavan and the evilminded brother of mine followed me surreptitiosly. The Danava having noticed both the brothers chasing me reached the cane mouth. Then I asked Sugriva to wait at the mouth of the cave itself, explaining to him that unless I kill the danava which only I could be able to execute and await the killing of the Daanava. It took me to discover the maayaavi daanava a full long year. Then finally I located the maayaavi with his massive body and instantly attacked him to death. From his face and chest, there were flows of red blood into the slopes of the curvy cave gushing out. With exraordinary contentment and self pride I sought to get out of the suffocating depths of the cave but found that the entrance was closed by a mountain boulder.

vikrośamānasya tu me sugrīveti punah punah, yadā prativaco nāsti tato 'ham bhrśaduhkhitah' pādaprahārais tu mayā bahuśas tad vidāritam, tato 'ham tena niskramya yathā punar upāgatah tatrānenāsmi samruddho rājyam mārgayatātmanah, sugrīveņa nṛśamsena vismṛtya bhrātṛsauhṛdam/ I had desperately shouted for Sugriva and kept on doing so for days and months. Finally I made all out efforts to break down the boulder after several weeks and months. Having been totally exhausted and drained out had since returned back to the kingdom! This wretched and crafty Sugriva having totally discarded 'bhraatru bhaava' had become evil minded with the sole ambition of usurping the kingship presuming that it should be just inpossible for me to break the mountain boulder for ever!'. As Vaali made his own conclusions against him, despite my bent down feet and supplications, Sugriva addresssed Shri Rama: 'Raghu nandana! Vaali turned me out mercilessly and what was far more wicked, he had forcibly usurped my dear wife Tara Devi. Eversince then I have been a fugitive with the severe fright of Vaali what with loss of kingdom and the dear wife on the Rishyamooka; do kindly appreciate my condition of fear of death any time or at any other place! You are the emblem of kindness.' Shri Rama replied: vāvat tam na hi paśvevam tava bhārvāpahārinam, tāvat sa jīvet pāpātmā vālī cāritradūsakah/ ātmānumānāt paśvāmi magnam tvām śokasāgare, tvām aham tāravisvāmi kāmam prāpsvasi puskalam/ My dear friend! As long as I do not encounter that wretched Vaanara who had the audacity and shamelessness of snatching away your dear wife, the very concept of 'sadaachaara' would not be retrieved. I promise you by my honour and self respect that you should very soon within a numbered days regain your beloved wife and kingdom. Sugriva got extremely contented and divulged certai significant facts concerning his brother Vaali subsequently.

Sarga Eleven

Sugriva describes Vaali's invincibility, his extermination of Daitya Dundhubhi, throwing off his dead body off to Matanaga Muni, curse of barring entry of Rishyamooka- Rama's test of throwing off Dundubhi's skeleton

Rāmasya vacanam śrutvā harṣapauruṣavardhanam, sugrīvaḥ pūjayām cakre rāghavam praśaśamsa ca/ asamśayam prajvalitais tīksnair marmātigaih śaraih, tvam daheh kupito lokān yugānta iva bhāskarah/ vālinah pauruṣam yat tad yac ca vīryam dhṛtiś ca yā, tan mamaikamanāḥ śrutvā vidhatsva vadanantaram/ samudrāt paścimāt pūrvam daksinād api cottaram, krāmaty anudite sūrve vālī vvapagataklamah/ agrānv āruhva śailānām śikharāni mahāntv api, ūrdhvam utksipva tarasā pratigrhnāti vīryavān/ bahavaḥ sāravantaś ca vaneṣu vividhā drumāḥ, vālinā tarasā bhagnā balam prathayatātmanah/ mahiso dundubhir nāma kailāsaśikharaprabhah, balam nāgasahasrasya dhārayām āsa vīryavān/ vīryotsekena dustātmā varadānāc ca mohitah, jagāma sa mahākāyah samudram saritām patim/ūrmimantam atikramya sāgaram ratnasamcayam, mama yuddham prayaccheti tam uvāca mahārnavam/ tatah samudro dharmātmā samutthāya mahābalah/ abravīd vacanam rājann asuram kālacoditam/ samartho nāsmi te dātum yuddham yuddhaviśārada, śrūyatām abhidhāsyāmi yas te yuddham pradāsyati/ śailarājo mahāraņye tapasviśaranam param, śamkaraśvaśuro nāmnā himavān iti viśrutaḥ/ guhā prasravaṇopeto bahukandaranirjharaḥ, sa samarthas tava prītim atulām kartum āhave/ tam bhītam iti vijñāva samudram asurottamah, himavadvanam āgacchac charas cāpād iva cyutah/ tatas tasva gireh śvetā gajendravipulāh śilāh, ciksepa bahudhā bhūmau dundubhir vinanāda ca/ tatah śvetāmbudākāraḥ saumyaḥ prītikarākrtiḥ, himavān abravīd vākyam sva eva śikhare sthitaḥ/ kleṣṭum arhasi mām na tvam dundubhe dharmavatsala, ranakarmasv akuśalas tapasviśaranam hv aham/ tasya tadvacanam śrutvā girirājasya dhīmatah, uvāca dundubhir vākyam krodhāt samraktalocanah/ yadi yuddhe 'samarthas tvam madbhayād vā nirudyamah, tam ācaksva pradadyān me yo 'dya yuddham yuyutsatah/ himavān abravīd vākyam śrutvā vākyaviśāradah, anuktapūrvam dharmātmā krodhāt tam asurottamam/ vālī nāma mahāprājñaḥ śakratulyaparākramaḥ, adhyāste vānaraḥ śrīmān kiṣkindhām atulaprabhām/ sa samartho mahāprājñas tava yuddhaviśāradaḥ, dvandvayuddham mahad dātum namucer iva vāsavaḥ/ tam śīghram abhigaccha tvam yadi yuddham ihecchasi, sa hi durdharsano nityam śūrah samarakarmani/śrutvā himavato vākyam krodhāvistah sa dundubhih, jagāma tām purīm tasya kiskindhām vālinas tadā/ dhārayan māhisam rūpam tīksnasrngo bhayāvahah, prāvrsīva mahāmeghas toyapūrņo nabhastale/ tatas tu dvāram āgamya kişkindhāyā mahābalaḥ, nanarda kampayan bhūmim dundubhir dundubhir vathā/ samīpajān drumān bhañjan vasudhām dārayan khuraih, visānenollekhan

darpāt taddvāram dvirado yathā/ antahpuragato vālī śrutvā śabdam amarsanah, nispapāta saha strībhis tārābhir iva candramāḥ/ mitam vyaktākṣarapadam tam uvāca sa dundubhim, harīṇām īśvaro vālī sarveşām vanacāriṇām/kimartham nagaradvāram idam ruddhvā vinardasi, dundubhe vidito me 'si raksa prāṇān mahābala/ tasya tadvacanam śrutvā vānarendrasya dhīmatah, uvāca dundubhir vākyam krodhāt samraktalocanah/ na tvam strīsamnidhau vīra vacanam vaktum arhasi, mama vuddham pravaccha tvam tato jñāsyāmi te balam/ atha vā dhārayiṣyāmi krodham adya niśām imām, gṛhyatām udayaḥ svairam kāmabhogesu vānara/yo hi mattam pramattam vā suptam vā rahitam bhṛśam, hanyāt sa bhrūṇahā loke tvadvidham madamohitam/ sa prahasyābravīn mandam krodhāt tam asurottamam, visrjya tāḥ striyaḥ sarvās tārāprabhṛtikās tadā/ matto 'yam iti mā mamsthā yady abhīto 'si samyuge, mado 'yam samprahāre 'smin vīrapānam samarthyatām tam evam uktvā samkruddho mālām utksipya kāñcanīm, pitrā dattām mahendrena yuddhāya vyavatisthata/ visānayor grhītvā tam dundubhim girisamnibham, vālī vyāpātayām cakre nanarda ca mahāsvanam/ yuddhe prānahare tasmin nispisto dundubhis tadā, śrotrābhyām atha raktam tu tasya susrāva pātyataḥ, papāta ca mahākāyaḥ kṣitau pañcatvam āgataḥ/ tam tolayitvā bāhubhyām gatasattvam acetanam, ciksepa vegavān vālī vegenaikena vojanam/tasva vegapraviddhasv a vaktrāt ksatajabindavah, prapetur mārutotksiptā matangasvāśramam prati/ tān drstvā patitāms tatra munih śonitaviprusah, utsasarja mahāśāpam kṣeptāram vālinam prati/ iha tenāpravestavyam pravistasya badho bhavet, sa maharşim samāsādya yācate sma krtāñjalih/ tataḥ śāpabhayād bhīta rsyamūkam mahāgirim, pravestum necchati harir drastum vāpi narešvara/ tasyāpravešam jñātvāham idam rāma mahāvanam, vicarāmi sahāmātyo visādena vivarjitah/eso 'sthinicayas tasya dundubheh samprakāśate, vīryotsekān nirastasya girikūṭanibho mahān/ ime ca vipulāḥ sālāḥ sapta śākhāvalambinaḥ, yatraikam ghaṭate vālī niṣpatrayitum ojasā/etad asyāsamam vīryam mayā rāma prakāśitam, katham tam vālinam hantum samare śakṣyase nṛpa/ yadi bhindyād bhavān sālān imāms tv ekeṣuṇā tataḥ, jānīyām tvām mahābāho samartham vālino vadhe/ tasya tadvacanam śrutvā sugrīvasya mahātmanah, rāghavo dundubheh kāyam pādāngusthena līlayā, tolayitvā mahābāhuś ciksepa daśayojanam/ksiptam dṛstvā tatah kāyam sugrīvah punar abravīt, laksmanasyāgrato rāmam idam vacanam arthavat/ārdrah samāmsapratyagrah ksiptah kāyah purā sakhe, laghuh samprati nirmāmsas trnabhūtaś ca rāghava, nātra śakyam balam jñātum tava vā tasya vādhikam/

As Shri Rama assured of terminating Vaali, the ever grateful Sugriva addressed Rama: 'Rama Prabho! As you make a firm declaration, your looks are like the pralayakaala Surya capable of bringing down the universe to ashes. When you declare the certain death of Vaali by you, I am doubly assured of that considered determination of yours. Yet may I sensitise you with certain facts related to him and his extraordinary prowess and courage also. samudrāt paścimāt pūrvam dakṣiṇād api cottaram, krāmaty anudite sūrye vālī vyapagataklamah/ agrāny āruhya śailānām śikharāni mahānty api, ūrdhvam utksipya tarasā pratigrhnāti vīryavān/ Vaali is in the habit of crossing the western and easterns sea-shores besides the southern to northern ones too by each Sunrise but never gets fatigued. He mounts up the mountain tops and by his own strength of hands anf fists tears and pounds the boulders to dust. He pulls up maha vrikshas uprooted with ease and throws them off with speed and force against the enemy groups and smashing them to bloodshed. mahiso dundubhir nāma kailāsasikharaprabhah, balam nāgasahasrasya dhārayām āsa vīryayān/ There was an incident in the past, there was a Mahaasura named Dundhubhi of the form of a 'Mahisha' of the stature of Kailasa Mountain with the strength of thousand elephants. Fortified with boons of Brahma Deva for unusual bravery, he was stated to have approached Samudra Deva and challenged him for an 'one to one' fight. Samudra Deva said that he would not be capable of the duel, but Giri Raja Himalaya should be a possible challenger. Then Dundubhi the maha mayavi assumed the form of a white cloud and encounterd Himavan. The latter politely replied that he was merely a mountain to let tapasvis who meditate or ever engaged in yagina karyas and not worthy of countering the Mahaasura Dundubhi. Then Himavan further conveyed: vālī nāma mahāprājñaḥ śakratulya parākramaḥ, adhyāste vānaraḥ śrīmān kiṣkindhām atulaprabhām/ sa samartho mahāprājñas tava yuddhaviśāradah,dvandvayuddham mahad dātum namucer iva vāsavah/ tam śīghram abhigaccha tvam yadi yuddham ihecchasi, sa hi durdharsano nityam śūrah samarakarmani/ 'Maha Danava Raja! You may approach a Maha Vaanara residing at Kishkindha, who is the Devendra Putra being indeed an expert in

'dvandva yuddha' or duel fight and winning over him should be the truly exemplary as on the case of 'Namuchi and Indra'.

[Vishleshana on Namuci-Mahendra duel: Asura Namuchi, brother of Mayaasura, was a muscular and physically sturdy daitya. However he failed his challege against Indra and hid himself in a ray of Surya Deva. But Indra who was in search of the Asura realised the latter's hiding place. The vengeful Indra encountered Namuchi but assuagingly and peacemakingly conveyed to Namuchi: "O Namuchi, let us be friends from now. I shall not kill you, provided you stay anywhere that is wet or dry; nor in the night or in the day!. Assured by this truce, Namuchi emerged from his hiding place. But Indra seized an opportunity and cut off Namuchi's head, using the foam of water as his weapon, when it as dusk time of the day. The dying Namuchi cursed Indra while dying that this sin despite the promise of conditionl and veiled truce and frienship should condemn you everslastingly for this treachery!]

Stanza 25 onward: dhārayan māhisam rūpam tīksnaśrngo bhayāvahah, prāvṛsīva mahāmeghas toyapūrno nabhastale/ tatas tu dvāram āgamya kiṣkindhāyā mahābalaḥ, nanarda kampayan bhūmim dundubhir dundubhir yathā/ Dundubhi daithya took to the body form of a Mahisha with sharp and raised horns and rushed to Kishkindhapuri like the sweeping lashes of forceful rains tearing in through the the dark clouds and roaring reverberations. Having reached Kishkindha puri, the mahisha daitya uprooted huge tree trunks at the fort and screeming resounding challenges to King Vaali. kimartham nagaradvāram idam ruddhvā vinardasi, dundubhe vidito me 'si raksa prānān mahābala/ 'Dundubha! I know about vou verv well. Why are a yelling at the 'nagara dwaara' creating havoc to the traffic of common citizens. You better save your skin!' Dundubhi reddened his eyes and replied that it would not become of the Vanara to show off from the 'raani vaasa'; 'take your time there through the night allowing your women to take to 'garbha dhaarana' and by Sun rise, then I should strip down your ego and kill you the womanising drunkard'. Vaali smiled and said coolly: 'In case you are ready with fearlessness to face me, you need not think that Vali is drunk and womanising. But if you are really ready right now, do consider my carelessness would provide the needful medicine to you from my drunken arrogance'. tam evam uktvā samkruddho mālām utksipya kāñcanīm, pitrā dattām mahendrena yuddhāya vyavatisthata/ visānayor gṛhītvā tam dundubhim girisamnibham, vālī vyāpātayām cakre nanarda ca mahāsvanam/ Having asserted thus, Vaali had put around his neck the golden necklace which his father Indra gifted to him - (which readily absorbs the strength of the opponent facing Vaali by one-half). Then followed a fierce one-to-one battle. Then Indra tulya paraakrami Vaali and Dundhubhi were both subjected to fist fights, hits of boulders, huge trees, and so on for good time, and Dundubha's forceful offensive fight got gradually dwindiled while Indra Kumara Vaali's stamina got consolidated and enhanced. As both of them performed desperate fight unto death, Vaali lifted up the gigantic body of Dundubhi and hit it forcefully down to earth and crushed the body hard as it got slipped. As the body was hit hard, there were flows of hot blood and finally Dundubhi got dropped dead. tam tolayitvā bāhubhyām gatasattvam acetanam, ciksepa vegavān vālī vegenaikena yojanam/tasya vegapraviddhasya vaktrāt kṣatajabindavaḥ, prapetur *mārutotkṣiptā mataṅgasyāśramaṁ prati/* As Dundubhis life was over, then Vaali raised the dead body and threw it off forcefully by a distance of a vojana. Since the body was thrown away likewise, the face and body parts spilled all across the distance and fell down right in the ashram of Matanga Muni and suddenly he shouted as disturbed from his deep tapsya: who is this who threw the dead body of this asura and the forceful spills of his blood flowing all over this ashram! Then from his tapobala, Mahatma Matanga realised who was the culprit and gave a 'shaapa'. iha tenāpraveṣṭavyam praviṣṭasya badho bhavet, sa maharsim samāsādya yācate sma kṛtāñjalih/ 'Whosoever has thrown this asura's dead body spilling flows of blood and spread impurity all around here and its adjoining vana pradesha on the Rishyamooka Mount would be facing death. That 'durbuddhi'who threw away the asura's dead body by a vojana ought to lose his life. Even Vali's followers should take my permission and leave these places at once. I am giving a day's waiting time to shift themselsves and their families never to return again. Infringement of my instructions of left over such vanaraas would become stones and boulders of this mountain.' Having thus described the happenings of the past tense recalls of Vaali, his killing Dundubhi, the Muni shaapa and the consequences, Sugriva further informed Shri Rama: tatah śāpabhayād bhīta rśyamūkam mahāgirim, prayestum necchati harir drastum vāpi nareśyara/ tasyāprayeśam jñātyāham

idam rāma mahāvanam, vicarāmi sahāmātyo visādena vivarjitah/ 'Rama Prabho! There after Vaali and his followers would dare not enter the rishyamooka mountain, let alone even think of entering the precincts. All the same, Vaali's paraakrama is still undisputed. Look at these seven strong and huge Saala Vrikshas with sturdy branches; Vaali with his prowess and finnesse of throwing arrows had shaken the trees and made the branches freed from their leaves!' As Sugriva has thus vividly described the unusual valor and skillful release of arrows by Vaali and expressed great admiration for his elder brother, Lalshmana intervened smilingly and asked Sugriva: By which type of task that you might get convinced that Rama could terminate Vaali! Then Sugriva replied: as Vaali had in the past tied the seven Saala Vrikshas were tied one by one, now in case Shri Rama could uproot one by one, then I should be able to be convinced that Rama could kill Vaali. Hatasya mahashsyaasthi paadenaikena Lakshmana!, udyamya prakshipeschaapi tarass dve dhanushate/ Further more if Rama could make the massive skeleton of Dundubhi be lifted head to feet wth a single arrow and have the skeleton thrown off by two hundred yojanas away then, I should be convinced of Rama's skills. Having heard what Sugriva expressed to Lashmana then Rama kept thinking about the action plan. Sugriva reiterated: Vali is a maha veera and posseses unusual excellence of arrows who was never defeated in life nor failed of my expectations. This had been how I had taken refuge of the Rishyamooka parvata. Vaanara Raja Vaali is invincible. This Hanuman and other ministers of mine too are wary of Vaali's confirmed superiority. tasya tadvacanam śrutvā sugrīvasya mahātmanah, rāghavo dundubheh kāyam pādāngusthena līlayā, tolayitvā mahābāhuś ciksepa daśayojanam/As Sugriva was wondering whether Shri Rama could ever to the great feat of throwing the dead body of Dundubhi like Vaali did, Rama too made it stand by his 'anguti' and threw off by skeleton by ten yojanas away by a single arrow! Even so Sugriva was perhaps not really impressed as the skeleton of without fless and blood and was dried up long long away. Then Sugriva reiterated : Sa eva samshastaata tava tasya cha yadulam, Saalam ekam vinirbhadya bhaved vyaktirbalaa balai/ Mahanu bhava! My lurking doubt still remains about excellence of Rama as compared to Maha Veera Vaali. Let us now pass through the test of 'Sapta Saala Vriksha Vicchhedana' also.

Sarga Twelve

Shri Rama's feat of destroying Seven Taala Trees in a row- Sugriva's challenge to Vaali but gets beaten as Sugriva runs to Rishyamooka- Sugriva vilaapa- Rama explains the problem of Vaali Sugriva identity. Etac ca vacanam śrutvā sugrīveņa subhāṣitam, pratyayārtham mahātejā rāmo jagrāha kārmukam/ gṛhītvā dhanur ghoram śaram ekam ca mānadaḥ, sālān uddiśya cikṣepa jyāsvanaiḥ pūrayan diśaḥ/ sa visrsto balavatā bānah svarnapariskrtah, bhittvā sālān giriprasthe sapta bhūmim viveśa ha/pravistas tu muhūrtena rasām bhittvā mahājavah, nispatya ca punas tūrnam svatūnīm pravivesa ha tān drstvā sapta nirbhinnān sālān vānarapumgavah, rāmasya śaravegena vismayam paramam gatah/ sa mūrdhnā nyapatad bhūmau pralambīkṛtabhūsanah, sugrīvah paramaprīto rāghavāya kṛtāñjalih/ idam covāca dharmajñam karmaṇā tena harṣitaḥ, rāmam sarvāstraviduṣām śreṣṭḥam śūram avasthitam/ sendrān api surān sarvāms tvam bāṇaih puruṣarṣabha, samarthaḥ samare hantum kim punar vālinam prabho/ yena sapta mahāsālā girir bhūmiś ca dāritāh, bāṇenaikena kākutstha sthātā te ko raṇāgratah/ adya me vigataḥ śokah prītir adva parā mama, suhrdam tvām samāsādva mahendravarunopamam/tam advaiva priyārtham me vairinam bhrātrrūpinam, vālinam jahi kākutstha mavā baddho 'vam añjalih/ tato rāmah parişvajya sugrīvam priyadarśanam, pratyuvāca mahāprājño lakṣmaṇānumatam vacaḥ/ asmād gacchāma kiskindhām ksipram gaccha tvam agratah, gatvā cāhvaya sugrīva vālinam bhrātṛgandhinam/ sarve te tvaritam gatvā kiskindhām vālinah purīm, vṛksair ātmānam āvṛtya vyatisthan gahane vane/ sugrīvo vyanadad ghoram vālino hvānakāranāt, gādham parihito vegān nādair bhindann ivāmbaram/ tam śrutvā ninadam bhrātuh kruddho vālī mahābalah, niṣpapāta susamrabdho bhāskaro 'stataṭād iva/ tatah sutumulam yuddham vālisugrīvayor abhūt, gagane grahayor ghoram budhāngārakayor iva/ talair aśanikalpaiś ca vajrakalpaiś ca mustibhih, jaghnatuh samare 'nyonyam bhrātarau krodhamūrchitau tato rāmo dhanuṣpāṇis tāv ubhau samudīkṣya tu, anyonyasadṛśau vīrāv ubhau devāv ivāśvinau/ yan nāvagacchat sugrīvam vālinam vāpi rāghavah, tato na kṛtavān buddhim moktum antakaram śaram/ etasminn antare bhagnah sugrīvas tena vālinā, apasyan rāghavam nātham rsyamūkam pradudruve/ klānto rudhirasiktāngah prahārair jarjarīkṛtaḥ, vālinābhidrutaḥ krodhāt praviveśa mahāvanam/ tam pravistam vanam drstvā vālī śāpabhavāt tatah, mukto hv asi tvam itv uktvā sa nivrtto mahābalah/

rāghavo 'pi saha bhrātrā saha caiva hanūmatā, tad eva vanam āgacchat sugrīvo yatra vānaraḥ/ tam samīkṣyāgatam rāmam sugrīvaḥ sahalakṣmaṇam, hrīmān dīnam uvācedam vasudhām avalokayan/ āhvayasveti mām uktvā darśayitvā ca vikramam, vairiṇā ghātayitvā ca kim idānīm tvayā kṛtam/ tām eva velām vaktavyam tvayā rāghava tattvataḥ, vālinam na nihanmīti tato nāham ito vraje/ tasya caivam bruvāṇasya sugrīvasya mahātmanaḥ, karuṇam dīnayā vācā rāghavaḥ punar abravīt/ sugrīva śrūyatām tātaḥ krodhaś ca vyapanīyatām, kāraṇam yena bāṇo 'yam na mayā sa visarjitaḥ/ alamkāreṇa veṣeṇa pramāṇena gatena ca, tvam ca sugrīva vālī ca sadṛśau sthaḥ parasparam/ svareṇa varcasā caiva prekṣitena ca vānara, vikrameṇa ca vākyaiś ca vyaktim vām nopalakṣaye/ tato 'ham rūpasādṛśyān mohito vānarottama, notsṛjāmi mahāvegam śaram śatrunibarhaṇam/ etanmuhūrte tu mayā paśya vālinam āhave, nirastam iṣuṇaikena veṣṭamānam mahītale/ abhijñānam kuruṣva tvam ātmano vānareśvara, yena tvām abhijānīyām dvandvayuddham upāgatam/ gajapuṣpīm imām phullām utpāṭya śubhalakṣaṇām, kuru lakṣmaṇa kaṇṭhe 'sya sugrīvasya mahātmanaḥ/ tato giritaṭe jātām utpāṭya kusumāyutām/ lakṣmaṇo gajapuṣpīm tām tasya kaṇṭhe vyasarjayat/ sa tathā śuśubhe śrīmāml latayā kaṇṭhasaktayā, mālayeva balākānām sasamdhya iva toyadaḥ/ vibhrājamāno vapuṣā rāmavākyasamāhitaḥ, jagāma saha rāmeṇa kiṣkindhām vālipālitām/

Shri Rama had then taken onto his hands to pass through the test of 'Sapta Saala Vicchhedana'. sa visṛṣṭo balavatā bāṇaḥ svarṇapariṣkṛtaḥ, bhittvā sālān giriprasthe sapta bhūmim viveśa ha/ The golden arrow as released by Rama were seen by him by aiming, as bound by the earth and the mountain together, at the seen tall and huge trees in a row and the unique arrow broke them all and sped up ripping through the earth and apparenty hit pataala! But in one muhurta again[three nimeshas or blinks make one 'Kshana'; fifteen 'nimeshas' make one 'kashtha'; thirty kashthas make one 'kala'; thirty kalas make one 'Muhurta'] As Shri Rama's arrow hit the target and returned within a muhurta into his quiver, Sugriva was astonished and felt totally satisfied about his ability and made 'saashtanaga pranaam'. sendrān api surān sarvāms tvam bānaih purusarsabha, samarthah samare hantum kim punar vālinam prabho/ yena sapta mahāsālā girir bhūmiś ca dāritāh, bānenaikena kākutstha sthātā te ko ranāgratah/Purusha Pravara! You appear to decimate even Indraadi Devatas with your arrows; then Vaali vadha is a very negligible task! Kaakustha! He who is capable of tearing through seven gigantic 'saala vrikshas', mountain and earth too with a single arrow, who indeed could ever dare to stand before you! tam advaiva priyārtham me vairiṇam bhrātṛrūpiṇam, vālinam jahi kākutstha mayā baddho 'yam añjaliḥ/ tato rāmaḥ pariṣvajya sugrīvam priyadarśanam, pratyuvāca mahāprājño lakṣmaṇānumatam vacaḥ/ Kaakutsa kula bhushana! My folded hand greetings to you. To day my illustrious friend has taken off my fear of Vaali; kindly let me get rid of my life long fright for Vaali!' Then, Shri Rama asked Sugriva as follows: asmād gacchāma kişkindhām kşipram gaccha tvam agratah, gatvā cāhvaya sugrīva vālinam bhrātṛgandhinam sarve te tvaritam gatvā kiskindhām vālinah purīm, vṛksair ātmānam āvṛtya vyatisthan gahane vane/ sugrīvo vyanadad ghoram vālino hvānakāranāt, gādham parihito vegān nādair bhindann ivāmbaram/My dear friend! Let us straightaway proceed from here itself to Kishkindha Rajya of Vaali and challenge by your shouts for mutual battle. Then the entire group reached the precincts of the kingdom and hid themselves behind the bushes. Then Sugriva straightened his robes around his waist and shouted aloud like a thunder of clouds challenging Vaali for a duel. Vaali bursted out with anger and jumped off instantly for the duel. It looked that two 'grahas' or planets like Mangal and Budha were fasing eavh other. talair aśanikalpaiś ca vajrakalpaiś ca mustibhih, jaghnatuh samare 'nyonyam bhrātarau krodhamūrchitau/ tato rāmo dhanuspānis tāv ubhau samudīksya tu, anyonyasadršau vīrāv ubhau devāv ivāśvinau/ Both the brothers were tensed up with rage and fought bitterly with their unreserved energies while Shri Rama hid himself and desired to target them. But they resembled each other so perfectly like Ashvini Kumars, typical prototypes of handsomeness with horse faces and the famed physicians of Devatas, born to Surya Deva and his wife Sanjana.

[Vishleshana on the identity of Ashvini Kumars from Surya Purana:

Vishwakarma the Shilpi's daughter was Sagjna whose celestial name is Raagjni also called Surenu in dyuloka. Sangjna's shadow is Chhaaya also called Nikshubha. Sangjna is not only pretty but a Pativrata too; she gave birth to Manu and Yama. But she was unable to approach the ever fiery form of Surya and after retaining her shadow left to her father Vishvakarma's home to stay there for very thousand and odd

years, despite the father advising her to return to her husband's home as soon as possible. As the father pressurised her, she left for Uttrara Kuru pradesha in the form of a horse. Chhaya Devi and Surya Deva gave birth to two sons named Shritashrava and Shrutakarma, besides a daughter named Tapati. Shritashrava's son was Saavarni Manu and Shanaishwara was the son of Shritakarma. Just as Sangina Devi was too affectionate with her children, Chhaya Devi was not so. Chhaya had normal relation with Sangina's elder son Manu, but had difference of opinion with Yama. As Chhaya bothered Yama too much, then the latter desired to lift her physically and held her upside down and in the process touched her feet. Chhava then gave a 'shaap' or curse that Yama 's feet be twisted and disfigured. In this physical altercation, Surya appeared and said that every 'shaap' could be negated but not that of a mother and suggested that the only way could be to the flesh of Yama's feet be kept on 'krimis' or vicious worms so that the flesh of the feet be eaten and got disappeared and the fleshless feet be retained. This way- out would save Yama's feet and Chhaya Devi's curse be carried out too. Soon after this shaap incident, Vishvakarma the father of Sangjna approached Surya Deva and informed him that his daughter Sangjna was in the form of a horse in Shaaka dwipa, and made Surya to assume the form of a male horse at where Sangina was grazing. Then Surva in the form of a male horse approached Sangima in the form of a female horse and tried to mate. Sangina struggled in the act of mating as she was of the feeling that Surya was a 'para purusha'; in the process of th struggle Surya's virility entered Sangjna's nose and she gave birth to two sons viz. Ashvini Kumars the celestial physicians, named Naasatya and Dasnna. After Surya Deva revealed his identity, then the two horses mated again and Revant was born with similar radiance like that of the father.]

Stanza 20 continued: yan nāvagacchat sugrīvam vālinam vāpi rāghavah, tato na kṛtavān buddhim moktum antakaram śaram/ etasminn antare bhagnah sugrīvas tena vālinā, apaśyan rāghavam nātham rśyamūkam pradudruve/ klānto rudhirasiktāngah prahārair jarjarīkrtah, vālinābhidrutah krodhāt praviveśa mahāvanam/Shri Rama was unable to clarly distinguish Sugriva and Vali as they were literally identical and hence refrained from releasing the 'praanaanta kaari maha bana' or the truly fatal arrow. Meanwhile Vaali pulled down Sugriva's feet to the ground with a severe hand blow and even without looking around for Rama's arrow ran for life towards the Rishyamoka mountain whish surely was unappoachable to Vaali and way. Vaali did chase Sugriva but soon retreated as was reminded of the Matanga Muni shaapa. Meanwhile Rama Lakshmanas returned to the badly hurt Sugriva who even whie gasping his breath addressed Shri Rama: āhvayasveti mām uktvā darśayitvā ca vikramam, vairiņā ghātayitvā ca kim idānīm tvayā krtam/ tām eva velām vaktavyam tvayā rāghava tattvatah, vālinam na nihanmīti tato nāham ito vraje/ Raghunandana! You had displayed your bravery and despathced me as my direct target having prevailed on me to challenge Vaali but at the opportune time made me the innocent target and got me beaten almost to death! Why indeed have you don so!' Rama replied: dearmost Sugriva! Kindly listen to me without anger and anguish; I could not release the deadly arrow and the reason be patiently listened to. alamkārena vesena pramāņena gatena ca, tvam ca sugrīva vālī ca sadṛśau sthaḥ parasparam/ svareṇa varcasā caiva prekṣitena ca vānara, vikrameṇa ca vākyaiś ca vvaktim vām nopalaksave/ tato 'ham rūpasādrsvān mohito vānarottama, notsrjāmi mahāvegam saram satrunibarhanam/Sugriva! The reason for not releasing the deadly arrow was mainly due to your identical physical forms in terms of similarity of dress, height and mannerisms; I could to distinguish even minute differences of voice, brightness, looks and grimaces, manner of exchange of words, and so on. I was totally confused to identify as to who was Sugriva and Vaali. Hence I could simply not release this life smashing arrow of instant poison. Veera Vaanara Raja! If only out of sheer ignorance or by accident or hastiness then I would never be known for mature thinking and mental stability. Once having committed to the gift of 'abhaya' or refuge, negation or denial of such 'pratigina' ought to attract a 'paataka' and more over the effort of my fortune to regain Devi Sita is at your disposal. Therefore, Vaanara Raja Sugriva, please get ready for another successful assualt on Vaali. etanmuhūrte tu mayā paśya vālinam āhave, nirastam isunaikena vestamānam mahītale/ abhijnānam kurusva tvam ātmano vānareśvara, yena tvām abhijānīyām dvandvayuddham upāgatam/ gajapuspīm imām phullām utpātya śubhalakṣaṇām, kuru lakṣmaṇa kaṇṭhe 'sya sugrīvasya mahātmanaḥ/ Vaanareshvara! To facilitate your own easy recognition, you must carry an identification in the course of your 'dwandva yuddhha' with

Vaali.' Having so said, Rama asked Lakshmana to adorn Sugriva's neck with a garland of fresh Gaja Pushpas.' Later on they had all proceeded to Kishkindha's Vaali Kingdom.

Sarga Thirteen

Much unlike Sugriva got thrashed by Vaali last time, the party of Rama-Sugriva party proceeded again, enjoyed Prakriti Soundarya back to Kishkindha and secures blessings from Sapta Janaashrama Muni. Rishyamookaat sa dharmātmā kiṣkindhām lakṣmaṇāgrajaḥ, jagāma sahasugrīvo vālivikramapālitām/ samudyamya mahac cāpam rāmaḥ kāñcanabhūṣitam, śarāmś cāditya samkāśān gṛhītvā raṇasādhakān/ agratas tu yayau tasya rāghayasya mahātmanah, sugrīyah samhatagrīyo laksmanas ca mahābalah/ prsthato hanumān vīro nalo nīlas ca vānarah, tāras caiva mahātejā hariyūthapa yūthapāh/ te vīksamānā vrksāms ca puspabhārāvalambinah, prasannāmbuvahās caiva saritah sāgaram gamāh/kandarāni ca śailāms ca nirjharāni guhās tathā, sikharāni ca mukhyāni darīs ca priyadarsanāh/ vaidūryavimalaih parnaih padmaiś cākāśakudmalaih, śobhitān sajalān mārge tatākāṁś ca vyalokayan kārandaih sārasair hamsair vañjūlair jalakukkuṭaiḥ, cakravākais tathā cānyaiḥ śakunaiḥ pratināditān/ mṛduśaṣpānkuraahārān nirbhayān vanagocarān, caratah sarvato 'paśyan sthalīşu harinān sthitān/ tatākavairinaś cāpi śukladantavibhūsitān, ghorān ekacarān vanyān dviradān kūlaghātinah/ vane vanacarām's cānyān khecarāms ca vihamgamān, pasyantas tvaritā jagmuḥ sugrīvavasavartinaḥ/ teṣām tu gacchatām tatra tvaritam raghunandanah, drumaşandam vanam drştvā rāmah sugrīvam abravīt/ eşa megha ivākāśe vrksasandah prakāśate, meghasamghātavipulah paryantakadalīvrtah/ kim etaj jñātum icchāmi sakhe kautūhalam mama, kautūhalāpanayanam kartum icchāmy aham tvayā/ tasya tadvacanam śrutvā rāghavasya mahātmanah, gacchann evācacakṣe 'tha sugrīvas tan mahad vanam' etad rāghava vistīrṇam āśramam śramanāśanam, udvānavanasampannam svādumūlaphalodakam/ atra saptajanā nāma munayaḥ samśitavratāḥ, saptaivāsann adhaḥśīrṣā niyatam jalaśāyinaḥ/ saptarātrakrtāhārā vāyunā vanavāsinah, divam varsaśatair vātāh saptabhih sakalevarāh/ tesām evam prabhāvena drumaprākārasamyrtam, āśramam sudurādharsam api sendraih surāsuraih/paksino varjayanty etat tathānye vanacārinah, viśanti mohād ye 'py atra nivartante na te punah/ vibhūsanaravāś cātra śrūyante sakalāksarāh, tūryagītasvanāś cāpi gandho divyaś ca rāghava/ tretāgnavo 'pi dīpyante dhūmo hy esa pradṛśyate, veṣṭayann iva vṛkṣāgrān kapotāṅgāruṇo ghanaḥ/ kuru praṇāmaṁ dharmātmaṁs tān samuddiśva rāghavah, laksmanena saha bhrātrā pravatah samvatāñjalih/ pranamanti hi ve tesām rsīnām bhāvitātmanām, na tesām aśubham kim cic charīre rāma drśvate/ tato rāmah saha bhrātrā laksmanena kṛtāñjaliḥ, samuddiśya mahātmānas tān ṛṣīn abhyavādayat/ abhivādya ca dharmātmā rāmo bhrātā ca laksmanah, sugrīvo vānarāś caiva jagmuh samhrstamānasāh/ te gatvā dūram adhvānam tasmāt saptajanāśramāt, dadršus tām durādharsām kiskindhām vālipālitām/ Rama Lakshmanas once again proceeded to Kishkindha puri accompanying Sugriva and his followers from Rishyamooka mount. Rama carried his powerful golden dhanush and the arrows in the 'tureena'. While Rama Lakshmanas in the lead along with Sugriva, Hanuman-Nala-Neela and other followers, they all witnessed the fabulous Nature with trees, flowers, birds, water flows, mountains, caves. The sarovaraas with vaidurya like transparency were replete with sparkling white lotuses floating. The variety of birds ranges from Kaarandava-Saarasa-Hamsa-Vanjula- Jalamriga-chakravaakas flying low on the cool water surfaces. Jungle wild elephants freshly bathed on the water lines with white tusks and teeth were looking like ranges of low black hills. Rama enquired of vaanara raja to enthuse his spirts cool as to what was the name of this part of the way to Kishkindha the Sugriva replied that he might not know the precise name but happened to the tha ashram of 'Sapta Jana' where seven munis of lokal popularity. These Munis performed tapasya with head down and feet up straight for decades and reached heaven subsequently, with their bodies too as 'sa-shareeraas'! It is for that very reason the lical belief had been that asuras and even devas would avoid this place exclusively to Prakritai Maata or Mother Nature! Raghu nandana! Here one could hear the jingle sounds of dancing dames, and sonorous singings in the nights along with symphony of musical sounds. One could surely smell the 'sugandhas' even now with heart elevating freshness. Indeed this place is known for the Tri vidha agnis of Garhapatya-Aahavaneeya-Dakshinaagni invoking Heaven-Cloud- Earth as the flames fly like doves on the sky. [Vishleshana on Tri Agnis: a) Varaha Purana b) Brahmanda Purana

Varaha Purana: Creation of Agni Deva, his several names and implication of worship: When Maha Vishnu created 'Panchabhutas' or Five Elements) and Loka Pitamah Brahma and commanded the latter to initiate creation, Brahma could not do so and he was extermely confused and hence angry and the rage created thousands of flames called Agniwho became extremely thirsty. When Agni asked Brahma as to how his thirst could be quenched. Brahma showed three types of satisfying it viz. sharing the 'Dakshinas' received by Devas and hence Agni was known as 'Dakshinagni'; the second way of Agni's thirst was by carrying the Havans (Homas and Yajnas) performed in the Trilokas (Three Worlds) in favour of various Deities as their 'Vahan', thus becoming Agni popular as 'Havyayahan'; the third way is that since Agni is present in each 'Griha' or household, he is known as 'Garhapatyagni'. Brahma further named Agni as 'Vaisvanara' as the latter provides the means of bestowing 'Sadgati' (Salvation) to the virtuous beings performing havans and other good deeds. Agni is 'Jataveda' or protector of both Known and Unknown material; 'Naaraa Prashamsa'-'Naar'or people, especially 'Dwijas'or twice born Brahmanas, Kshatriyas and Vysyas do 'Prashamsa' or praise; Known as 'Dravinoda' as Agni provides money power. The other popular names accorded by Brahma to Agni are 'Tanunpath' (Agni protects Sharir/Asharir), 'Prapurna' (full of everything) and many other names. Agni desired to Brahma to designate a day of each Month so that all concerned would perform worship to Him. Since this was a unique request made by any Deity for the first time, Brahma confirmed Pratipada as a day of significance for Agni. Brahma blessed Agni that Pratipada be popularised among all the Lokas and worship to Agni by way of fasting (Upavas) or at the most by taking milk would quality a devotee to acquire prosperity and Tejas (radiance) during the current birth and to secure Kingship in the next birth and certainly please the Pitru Loka. Brahmanda Purana describes: There are three types of Agni viz. Devata related, Bhoutikaagni and Water generated Earth-related Agni called Vidyut Sambhava or Born out of Lightning or Abyoni; as the night is over the Unknown Brahma desired to visualise water and Earth in the darkness and assuumed the form of a tiny 'Khadyota' (glow-worm) and viewed Agni for illumination and named it as 'Parthivaagni' or Terrestrial Fire and divided into three forms viz. 'Vaidutaagni', 'Jatharaagni' and 'Souraagni'. Vaidyutaagni is not assuaged due to rains nor human bellies but only due to friction ofwood. Jatharaagni has no illumination and is not visible. Souraagni gets terminated by the Sun Set and enters Agni and gets revived at Sun Rise. Illumination and Heat promote and increase each other. Alike in the Northern and Souhern hemispheres, when Sun rises the night enters water and water gradually gains heat and radiation; at the time of Sun Set the day enters waters and thus the latter gains transparency next morning. Thus in this order the Earth's hemispheres the Sun Rise and Sun Set or the day and night respectively enter water. Surva Deva absorbs water through his rays and hence called 'Shuchi' or of purity. This is related to Earth-related Agni and hence called Shuchi; the latter means Agni with thousand rays which absorb water from various sources like oceans, rivers, wells and all water-bodies. The rays of Agni create both cold water and hot water as also four hundred peculiar forms; those rays which could produce heavy rains are called chandana, Sadhya, Kutana, Akutana and Amrita. Besides these rays, there are three hundred other rays which produce snow. The Snow-fall creating rays are known as Drisyaas, Meghaas, Yaamyaas, Hradinyaas (resounding ones) and they have limited illumination and such rays are called Chandras. Those rays which create heat are white in colour numbering three hundred are called Shuklas, Kuhakaas, and Vishvabhruts. Surya Deva distributes these rays to human beings as well as Pitru Devas equitably and satisfy them. Surva helps utilise these rays to Human beings by way of herbs and vegetation, to Pitras by way of Swadhaa-Homas and to Devatas by way of Amrita. In the Vasanta or Spring and Greeshma or Summer seasons, Surya blazes three hundred rays of Agni to heat up the World while he showers in Sharat Kaala or rainy season by four hundred Agni-Kiranas; in Hemanta or early winter and Sishira or late winter Seasons three hundred rays are utilised.]

Stanza 25 of Sarga Thirteen continued:

kuru praṇāmam dharmātmams tān samuddiśya rāghavaḥ, lakṣmaṇena saha bhrātrā prayataḥ samyatāñjaliḥ/ praṇamanti hi ye teṣām ṛṣṇṇām bhāvitātmanām, na teṣām aśubham kim cic charīre rāma dṛśyate/ While continuing the narration of the illustrious Sapta Muni Ashram, Sugriva asked Rama Lakshmanas too to secure the blessings of the Munis to assure that there should never be any signs inauspiciousness ahead. Then Rama Lakshmanas greeted the Mahatmas with folded hands for auspicious

success in their daring tasks ahead and the Munis smiled and blessed with 'tathaastu'. Then dharmatma Shri Rama, Lakshmana, Sugriva and the followers made firm and confident steps forward to Kishkindha. **Sarga Fourteen**

<u>Fully backed by Shri Rama's confident assurances of victory, Sugriva challenged Vaali for a repeat</u> encounter of 'dwandva yuddha' amid thunderous shoutings

Sarve te tvaritam gatvā kişkindhām vālipālitām, vṛkṣair ātmānam āvṛtya vyatiṣṭhan gahane vane/ vicārya sarvato dṛṣṭim kānane kānanapriyaḥ, sugrīvo vipulagrīvaḥ krodham āhārayad bhṛśam/ tataḥ sa ninadam ghoram krtvā yuddhāya cāhvayat, parivāraih parivrto nādair bhindann iyāmbaram/ atha bālārkasadrso drptasimhagatis tadā, drstvā rāmam kriyādaksam sugrīvo vākyam abravīt/harivāgurayā vyāptam taptakāñcanatoranām, prāptāh sma dhvajayantrādhyām kiskindhām vālinah purīm/ pratijñā yā tvayā vīra kṛtā vālivadhe purā, saphalām tām kuru ksipram latām kāla ivāgatah/ evam uktas tu dharmātmā sugrīvena sa rāghavah, tam athovāca sugrīvam vacanam śatrusūdanah/ kṛtābhijñāna cihnas tvam anayā gajasāhvayā, viparīta ivākāśe sūryo naksatra mālayā/ adya vālisamuttham te bhayam vairam ca vānara, ekenāham pramoksvāmi bānamoksena samvuge/ mama daršava sugrīvavairinam bhrātrrūpinam, vālī vinihato vāvad vane pāmsusu vestate/ vadi drstipatham prāpto jīvan sa vinivartate, tato dosena mā gacchet sadyo garhec ca mā bhavān/ pratyakṣam sapta te sālā mayā bāṇena dāritāḥ, tato vetsi balenādya bālinam nihatam mayā/ anṛtam noktapūrvam me vīra kṛcchre 'pi tiṣṭhatā, dharmalobhaparītena na ca vaksye katham cana/ saphalām ca karisyāmi pratijñām jahi sambhramam, prasūtam kalamam ksetre varseneva śatakratuh/ tadāhvānanimittam tvam vālino hemamālinah, sugrīva kuru tam śabdam nispated yena vānarah/ jitakāśī jayaślāghī tvayā cādharşitah purāt, nispatisyaty asamgena vālī sa priyasamyugah/ ripūṇām dharṣaṇam śūrā marṣayanti na samyuge, jānantas tu svakam vīryam strīsamakṣam viśeṣataḥ/ sa tu rāmavacaḥ śrutvā sugrīvo hemapingalaḥ, nanarda krūranādena vinirbhindann ivāmbaram/ tasya śabdena vitrastā gāvo vānti hataprabhāh, rājadosaparāmrstāh kulastriya ivākulāh/ dravanti ca mrgāh śīghram bhagnā iva rane hayāh, patanti ca khagā bhūmau ksīnapunyā iva grahāh/ tatah sa jīmūtaganapranādo; nādam vyamuñcat tvarayā pratītah, sūryātmajah śauryavivrddhatejāh; saritpatir vānilacañcalormih/

The party of Rama-Sugrivas thus having reached Kishkindha as fortified by the blessings of Sapta Munis had hidden behind the bushes and trees. Sugriva looked around and made a mammoth shout like 'megha garjana' challenging Vaali to come out for a 'dwadva yuddha'. At that time, Sugriva's physical radiance was like that of the 'ushah kaala Surya' with fresh radiance. Having shouted by swirling the gauntlet thus, Sugriva explained the intricate nine golden gates of the Kiskindha puri spreading the shackles of Maya the make belief all over among the vanaraas inside. He stated: 'Maha Veera Rama! Once again I am reiterating your oath to destroy Vaali my nightmare at the earliest. kṛtābhijñāna cihnas tvam anayā gajasāhvayā, viparīta ivākāśe sūryo nakṣatra mālayā/ Mahanubhava! As you have pulled out a branch full of Gaja pushpas, Veera Lakshmana made a memorable garland around my neck. Even if the nakshatra maala around the neck of Surya Deva, may the splendour of the flower garland around my neck be fesh indeed.' Then Rama said assuringly: Sugriva! Your long standing terror and hostility of Vaali ought to disappear on the battle field here with just one shot of my arrow. You should only point out at Vaali in the course of your one to one battle, then he should be thrown off dead into the dust and the proof of the miserable death shoul be indicated by the arrow back to my 'tuneera'. anrtain noktapūrvam me vīra krechre 'pi tisthatā, dharmalobhaparītena na ca vaksye katham cana/ saphalām ca karisyāmi pratijñām jahi sambhramam, prasūtam kalamam ksetre varseneva śatakratuh/ tadāhvāna nimittam tvam vālino hemamālinah, sugrīva kuru tam sabdam nispated yena vānarah/ Despite my having to encounter innumerable challenges life, I had never uttered a lie in my life nor taken a single step of 'adharma'. My 'pratigina' ought to be fulfilled. That is precisely why, Sugriva! Expunge away all the traces of timidity and fear from even your remote inner thoughts. As Shri Rama reiterated repeatedly, the pingala varna Sugriva repeated his simha garjana challenging Vaali again and again. Bewidered by the repeated shouts of challenge, the 'kulaanganaas' of Vaali's 'antahpura' got flustered and ran away hither and thither.

Sarga Fifteen

Devi Taara entreated Vaali for a truce of mutual peace, friendship with Rama and 'yuva rajatva' to Sugriva

Atha tasya ninādam tam sugrīvasya mahātmanah, śuśrāvāntaḥpuragato vālī bhrātur amarṣaṇaḥ/śrutvā tu tasya ninadam sarvabhūtaprakampanam, madas caikapade nastah krodhas cāpatito mahān/ sa tu rosaparītāngo vālī samdhvātapaprabhah, uparakta ivādityah sadyo nisprabhatām gatah/ vālī damstrā karālas tu krodhād dīptāgnisamnibhah, bhāty utpatitapadmābhah samṛṇāla iva hradah sabdam durmarsanam śrutvā nispapāta tato harih, vegena carananyāsair dārayann iva medinīm/ tam tu tārā parisvajya snehād daršitasauhrdā, uvāca trastasambhrāntā hitodarkam idam vacah/ sādhu krodham imam vīra nadī vegam ivāgatam, śayanād utthitah kālyam tyaja bhuktām iva srajam/ sahasā tava nişkrāmo mama tāvan na rocate, śrūyatām abhidhāsyāmi yannimittam nivāryase/ pūrvam āpatitah krodhāt sa tvām āhvayate yudhi, nispatya ca nirastas te hanyamāno diśo gatal/ tvayā tasya nirastasya pīditasva višesatah, ihaitva punar āhvānam šankām janavatīva me/ darpaš ca vvavasāvaš ca vādršas tasya nardatah, ninādasya ca samrambho naitad alpam hi kāraṇam/ nāsahāyam aham manye sugrīvam tam ihāgatam, avaṣṭabdhasahāyaś ca yam āśrityaiṣa garjati/ prakṛtyā nipuṇaś caiva buddhimāmś caiva vānarah, aparīksitavīryena sugrīvah saha naisyati/pūrvam eva mayā vīra śrutam kathayato vacah, angadasya kumārasya vaksyāmi tvā hitam vacah/ tava bhrātur hi vikhyātah sahāyo ranakarkaśah, rāmah parabalāmardī yugāntāgnir ivotthitah/ nivāsavṛkṣah sādhūnām āpannānām parā gatih, ārtānām samśrayaś caiva yaśasaś caikabhājanam/ jñānavijñānasampanno nideśo nirataḥ pituḥ, dhātūnām iva śailendro gunānām ākaro mahān/ tatksamam na virodhas te saha tena mahātmanā, durjavenāpramevena rāmena ranakarmasu/ śūra vaksyāmi te kim cin na cecchāmy abhyasūyitum, śrūyatām kriyatām caiva tava vaksyāmi yad dhitam/ yauvarājyena sugrīvam tūrnam sādhv abhisecaya, vigraham mā kṛthā vīra bhrātrā rājan balīyasā/ aham hi te ksamam manye tava rāmena sauhṛdam, sugrīvena ca samprītim vairam utsrjya dūratah/ lālanīyo hi te bhrātā yavīyān esa vānarah, tatra vā sann ihastho vā sarvathā bandhur eva te/yadi te matpriyam kāryam yadi cāvaişi mām hitām, yācyamānah prayatnena sādhu vākvam kurusva me/

As 'maha yeera' Vaali heard in highly haughy challenges for dwandya yuddha repeatedly, he fumed with unusual rage, while his golden type physique turned red. His teeth started grinding, looks were blood red and having stood up with frenzy by pounding earth was ready to jump out. At that time, Vaali's wife got frightened, touched his hands and shoulders and tried to somewhat cool down his hot temper. She said softly: 'Maha Veera Purusha: kindly listen to me. Please control your fury which is like the rushing waters of a 'Maha Nadi'. Think of the example of fresh and soothing flower garland of adorning the neck of a dear husband in the night gets discarded by the next morning, please discard your haughty temper. Vaanara Veera! please settle down for your battle tomorrow morning but not right now. It is well known the world over about your unparalleled bravery and grit. Right now it must be avoided when your temper is high even if the opponent challenges to day again for a second time. Only the other day he did so and as you nearly smashed his head as he ran for life to Matanaga Vana timidly. Some how my inner feelings tell me that there could be a trap too. nāsahāyam aham manye sugrīvam tam ihāgatam, avastabdhasahāyaś ca yam āśrityaisa garjati/ prakṛtyā nipunaś caiva buddhimāmś caiva vānarah, aparīksitavīryena sugrīvah saha naisyati/ I do strongly suspect that Sugriva must be having a strong support behind and that should be the reason that he has been jumping up and down. Vaanara Sugriva by nature is schemy and crafty and unless he truly trusts a strong source of help he would not raise his head and voice again and again. I have heard from Kumara Angada that one day he heard from 'Gupacharas' or spies as follows: From Ayodhya, two valiant heros whom named Rama Lakshmanas of Ikashvaaku vamsha have arrived in these parts and they are impossible to deafeat. It is further learnt: Sugriva priya kaaryaartham praapto tatra duraasadou, sa te bhraatrihi vikhyaatah sahaayo rana karmaani/ Raamah parabalamaardraa yugaantaagnirivotthitah, nivaasa vrikshah saadhmaapannaam paraa gatih/ These heros have endeared Sugriva and have approached him as they are standing by your brother and they are reputed as 'pralayaagni samaanaas' yet helpful to the needy even at the cost of their own lives.

nivāsavṛkṣaḥ sādhūnām āpannānām parā gatiḥ, ārtānām samśrayaś caiva yaśasaś caikabhājanam/ jñānavijñānasampanno nideśo nirataḥ pituḥ, dhātūnām iva śailendro guṇānām ākaro mahān/ tatkṣamam na virodhas te saha tena mahātmanā, durjayenāprameyena rāmeṇa raṇakarmasu/ Rama Lakshmanas are stated as the last refuge of persons of desperation and they are known as 'kalpavrikshas' who have lost all hopes of life under great stress and duress. They are the 'arta purusha ashrayas, yashasvis, vigjnaana sampannaas, and pitru agjnaa paripaalakas'. It appears that Rama is surfiet with excellent origin, nature, and the 'uttama dhaatu bhandaar' or repository of the proactive body ingredients.

[Brief Vishleshana of Dhaatus or body tissues: Rasa-Rakta-Maamsa-Medha-Asthi-Majja-Sukra or plasma,blood,musle,fat, bone, bone marrow and semen. These ingredients control the regulation of vaatapitta-kapha]

Stanzas 22 onward continued: śūra vakṣyāmi te kim cin na cecchāmy abhyasūyitum, śrūyatām kriyatām caiva tava vakṣyāmi yad dhitam/ yauvarājyena sugrīvam tūrṇam sādhv abhiṣecaya, vigraham mā kṛthā vīra bhrātrā rājan balīyasā/ aham hi te kṣamam manye tava rāmeṇa sauhṛdam, sugrīveṇa ca samprītim vairam utsṛjya dūrataḥ/ Sura Veera Vaali Maha Raja! My intention is in no way to belittle you or find fault with you. But I wish you best of fortune and could only make a request to you in earnestness. If you think proper, may make an appeal to you: Sugriva is your own younger brother; please do not not fight with him; bless him and bestow to him the status of Yuva Rajatva. I am saying this as a sincere and serious request to you; kindly seek better relation with Shri Rama and establish friendship with him. Tadaa hi Taaraa hitameka vaakyam tam Vaalinam patyhamidam babhaashe, na rochate tad vachanan hi tasya, kaabhipannasya vinaasha kaale/ Devi Tara's most valuable and helful requests to Vaali fell on deaf ears and in a rash rush proceeded for 'dvandwa yuddha' with Sugriva as of 'vinaasha kaale vipareeta buddhih'!

Sarga Sixteen

Ignoring away Devi Tara's earnest appeals for peace and amity with Sugrivas-Ramas, haughty Vaali resorts to battle with Sugriva, gets grievously hurt by Rama baana and succumbs to earth Tām evam bruvatīm tārām tārādhipanibhānanām, vālī nirbhartsayām āsa vacanam cedam abravīt/ garjato 'sya ca samrambham bhrātuḥ śatror viśeṣataḥ, marṣayiṣyāmy aham kena kāraṇena varānane/ adharsitānām śūrānām samaresv anivartinām, dharsanāmarsanam bhīru maranād atiricvate/ sodhum na ca samartho 'ham vuddhakāmasva samvuge, sugrīvasva ca samrambham hīnagrīvasva garjatah/ na ca kāryo viṣādas te rāghavam prati matkṛte, dharmajñas ca kṛtajñas ca katham pāpam kariṣyati/ nivartasva saha strībhih katham bhūyo 'nugacchasi, sauhrdam darsitam tāre mayi bhaktih krtā tvayā/ pratiyotsyāmy aham gatvā sugrīvam jahi sambhramam, darpam cāsya vineṣyāmi na ca prāṇair vimokṣyate/ śāpitāsi mama prānair nivartasva jayena ca, aham jitvā nivartisve tam alam bhrātaram rane/ tam tu tārā parisvajya vālinam priyavādinī, cakāra rudatī mandam daksinā sā pradaksinam/ tatah svastyayanam kṛtvā mantravad vijayaiṣiṇī, antaḥpuram saha strībhiḥ praviṣṭā śokamohitā/ praviṣṭāyām tu tārāyām saha strībhih svam ālayam, nagarān niryayau kruddho mahāsarpa iva śvasan/ sa niḥśvasya mahāvego vālī paramaroşaṇaḥ, sarvataś cārayan dṛṣṭim śatrudarśanakānkṣayā/ sa dadarśa tataḥ śrīmān sugrīvam hemapingalam, susamvītam avastabdham dīpyamānam ivānalam/ sa tam drstvā mahāvīryam sugrīvam paryavasthitam, gāḍham paridadhe vāso vālī paramaroṣaṇaḥ/ sa vālī gāḍhasamvīto muṣṭim udyamya vīryavān, sugrīvam evābhimukho yayau yoddhum kṛtakṣaṇaḥ/ śliṣṭamuṣṭim samudyamya samrabdhataram āgatah, sugrīvo 'pi samuddiśya vālinam hemamālinam/ tam vālī krodhatāmrāksah sugrīvam ranapanditam, āpatantam mahāvegam idam vacanam abravīt/ esa mustir mayā baddho gādhah sunihitāngulih, mayā vegavimuktas te prānān ādāya yāsyati/ evam uktas tu sugrīvah kruddho vālinam abravīt, tavaiva ca haran prāṇān muṣṭiḥ patatu mūrdhani/ tāḍitas tena samkruddhaḥ samabhikramya vegataḥ, abhavac choṇitodgārī sotpīḍa iva parvataḥ/ sugrīveṇa tu niḥsamgam sālam utpāṭya tejasā, gātresv abhihato vālī vajreņeva mahāgirih/ sa tu vālī pracaritah sālatādanavihvalah, gurubhāra samākrāntā sāgare naur ivābhavat/ tau bhīmabalavikrāntau suparņasamaveginau, pravṛddhau ghoravapusau candrasūryāv ivāmbare/ vālinā bhagnadarpas tu sugrīvo mandavikramah, vālinam prati sāmarso darśayām āsa Rāghavam/ tato dhanusi samdhāya śaram āśīvisopamam, rāghavena mahābāno vālivakṣasi pātitaḥ/vegenābhihato vālī nipapāta mahītale, athokṣitaḥ śoṇitatoyavisravaiḥ; supuṣpitāśoka ivāniloddhatah, vicetano vāsavasūnur āhave; prabhramsitendradhvajavat ksitim gatah/

On listening the prolonged requests of Devi Tara to make peace and yuvarajatva to brother Sugriva, King Vaali replied: Varaanane! To this angry and provocative brother who keeps challenging me for a duel again and again had still not the suitable punishment as he is used to challenge then, run back with mortal fear and floats back again and again has neither any sense of shame nor bravery excepting repeatedly shouting challenges annoyingly. Now, I would like to teach him a bitter lesson once for all. In my case in my entire lifetime I had neven been defeated nor even exhibited my back. Sugriva wishes to some how subdue me and how could I ever not respond to his challenges although these are purposeless. Even having heard about Shri Rama and his calibre, I guess that he is a 'Dharma Jnaata' then how could he be sinful in a 'dharma yuddha'! Now, you better go back along with all these females and do you not follow me asking me to return. You have expressed your views out of your devotion and loyalty to me. Get back, do not be anxious and discouraging. In the battle field, I should stand steadfast and fulfill the desire of getting thrashed once again. In the course of the 'dwandva yuddhha', I should fulfill his desire of a repeated thrash by my hurling of trees and 'mushthi ghaataas' or fast fist kicks before he should run back fast, but not kill him. Even so, Tara! Even being fully aware that he would not bear my assaults, Duratma Sugriva seeks to get your sympathy and soft corner from your heart. śāpitāsi mama prānair nivartasva jayena ca, aham jitvā nivartisye tam alam bhrātaram rane/ Now for the last time, my on my honor of my life, I am finally instruting you to return and I should return with success of my victory for me.' As thus Vali instructed Tara Devi, she embraced him in hushed up tone, performed a 'parikrama' cryingly and said good bye. As Tara and her followers returned to 'raani vaasa', Vaali breathed heavily and made an exit from the city. Then he looked all around and saw Sugriva with his loin cloth tightenend up waiting for him. Vaali sraraight away ran ahead to Sugriva. ślistamustim samudyamya samrabdhataram āgataḥ, sugrīvo 'pi samuddiśya vālinam hemamālinam/ tam vālī krodhatāmrākṣaḥ sugrīvam raṇapaṇḍitam, āpatantam mahāvegam idam vacanam abravīt/ esa mustir mayā baddho gādhah sunihitāngulih, mayā vegavimuktas te prānān ādāya yāsyati/ Sugriva too jumped forward running and so did Vaali who noticed a prominent flower garland tied around Sugriva's neck. Vaali shouted at Sugriva and asserted that his powerful fist streaching all the nerves of his hands and shoulders ought to give you such a thud that once fallen on your head creates a reverberating sound of a drum. As announced by Vaali, the thud shook up entire system of the nerves of Sugriva's head as he vomitted gushes of blood. Then Sugriva uprooted a huge Saala vriksha and threw it with speed and unusual vigour as Indra Deva hit his vajraayudha on a gigantic mountain. tau bhīmabalavikrāntau suparņasamaveginau, pravṛddhau ghoravapuṣau candrasūryāv ivāmbare/ vālinā bhagnadarpas tu sugrīvo mandavikramah, vālinam prati sāmarso darśayām āsa Rāghayam/ Then the 'paraakrama and bala' or bravery and strength was frightening to withstand as the encounter of two 'maha garudaas' with their strength of mutual hits. As Sugriva's strength and forbearance started gradually dwindling he looked for Raghava. tato dhanusi samdhāya śaram āśīvisopamam, rāghaveņa mahābāņo vālivaksasi pātitaḥ/ vegenābhihato vālī nipapāta mahītale, athokṣitaḥ śonitatoyavisravaiḥ; supuṣpitāśoka ivāniloddhataḥ, vicetano vāsavasūnur āhave; prabhramsitendradhvajavat ksitim gatah/ Then Rama having realised that the precise time had struck, raised his dhanush, fixted it up with his fully poisoned arrow and released it with extraordinary speed and force as though Yama Raja threw off Kaala chakra. No sooner than Rama released the arrow than the maha tejasvi parakrami Vaanara Raja Vaali fell straight to earth. Indra Kumara Vaali from his body had to let streams of his blood on earth just as an 'ashoka maha vriksha' with sweeps of speedy winds fell down and as Indra dhwaia fell right down to earth from the sky.

Sarga Seventeen

Falling before death, Vaali heavily criticizes Rama for his stealthiness, undeserved glory, falsity, and sheer selfishness colliding with Sugriva only to recover Devi Sita, which he too could have with bravery! Tataḥ śareṇābhihato rāmeṇa raṇakarkaśaḥ, papāta sahasā vālī nikṛtta iva pādapaḥ/ sa bhūmau nyastasarvāṅgas taptakāñcanabhūṣaṇaḥ, apatad devarājasya muktaraśmir iva dhvajaḥ/ tasmin nipatite bhūmau haryṛṣāṇāṁ gaṇeśvare, naṣṭacandram iva vyoma na vyarājata bhūtalam/ bhūmau nipatitasyāpi tasya dehaṁ mahātmanaḥ, na śrīr jahāti na prāṇā na tejo na parākramaḥ/ śakradattā varā mālā kāñcanī ratnabhūṣitā, dadhāra harimukhyasya prāṇāms tejaḥ śriyaṁ ca sā/ sa tayā mālayā vīro haimayā hariyūthapah, saṁdhyānugataparyantah payodhara ivābhavat/ tasya mālā ca dehaś ca marmaghātī ca

yah śarah, tridheva racitā laksmīh patitasyāpi śobhate/ tad astram tasya vīrasya svargamārga prabhāvanam, rāmabānāsanaksiptam āvahat paramām gatim/ tam tathā patitam samkhye gatārcisam ivānalam, yayātim iva puṇyānte devalokāt paricyutam/ādityam iva kālena yugānte bhuvi pātitam, mahendram iva durdharşam mahendram iva duḥsaham/ mahendraputram patitam vālinam hemamālinam, simhoraskam mahābāhum dīptāsvam harilocanam, laksmanānugato rāmo dadarśopasasarpa ca/ sa drstvā rāghavam vālī laksmaṇam ca mahābalam, abravīt praśritam vākyam paruṣam dharmasamhitam/ parānmukhavadham krtvā ko nu prāptas tvayā guṇah, yad aham vuddhasamrabdhas tvatkrte nidhanam gatah/ kulīnah sattvasampannas tejasvī caritavratah, rāmah karunavedī ca prajānām ca hite ratah/ sānukrośo mahotsāhah samayajño drdhavratah, iti te sarvabhūtāni kathayanti yaśo bhuvi/ tān gunān sampradhāryāham agryam cābhijanam tava, tārayā pratisiddhah san sugrīvena samāgatah/ na mām anyena samrabdham pramattam veddhum arhasi, iti me buddhir utpannā babhūvādarśane tava/ na tvām vinihatātmānam dharmadhvajam adhārmikam, jāne pāpasamācāram tṛṇaiḥ kūpam ivāvṛtam/ satām veṣadharam pāpam pracchannam iva pāvakam, nāham tvām abhijānāni dharmacchadmābhisamvrtam/ visave vā pure vā te vadā nāpakaromv aham, na ca tvām pratijāne 'ham kasmāt tyam hamsy akilbisam/ phalamūlāsanam nityam yānaram yanagocaram, mām ihāpratiyudhyantam anyena ca samāgatam/ tvam narādhipateḥ putraḥ pratītaḥ priyadarśanaḥ, lingam apy asti te rājan dṛśyate dharmasamhitam/ kaḥ kṣatriyakule jātaḥ śrutavān naṣṭasamśayaḥ,dharmalinga praticchannah krūram karma samācaret/ rāma rājakule jāto dharmavān iti viśrutah, abhavyo bhavyarūpena kimartham paridhāvasi/ sāma dānam ksamā dharmah satyam dhṛtiparākramau, pārthivānām guṇā rājan daṇḍaś cāpy apakāriṣu/ vayam vanacarā rāma mṛgā mūlaphalāśanāh, eṣā prakrtir asmākam purusas tvam nareśvarah/ bhūmir hiranvam rūpvam ca nigrahe kāranāni ca, tatra kas te vane lobho madīyeşu phaleşu vā/ nayaś ca vinayaś cobhau nigrahānugrahāv api, rājavṛttir asamkīrṇā na nrpāh kāmavrttayah/ tvam tu kāmapradhānaś ca kopanaś cānavasthitah, rājavrttaiś ca samkīrnah śarāsanaparāyanah/ na te 'sty apacitir dharme nārthe buddhir avasthitā indriyaih kāmavṛttah san kṛṣyase manujeśvara/ hatvā bānena kākutstha mām ihānaparādhinam, kim vaksyasi satām madhye karma kṛtvā jugupsitam/ rājahā brahmahā goghnaś corah prānivadhe ratah, nāstikah parivettā ca sarve nirayagāminah/ adhāryam carma me sadbhī romāny asthi ca varjitam, abhakṣyāni ca māmsāni tvadvidhair dharmacāribhi/ pañca pañcanakhā bhaksyā brahmaksatrena rāghaya, śalyakah śvāyidho godhā śaśah kūrmaś ca pañcamah/ carma cāsthi ca me rājan na spršanti manīsinah, abhaksyāni ca māmsāni so 'ham pañcanakho hataḥ/ tvayā nāthena kākutstha na sanāthā vasumdharā, pramadā śīlasampannā dhūrtena patitā vathā/ śatho naikrtikah ksudro mithvā praśritamānasah, katham daśarathena tvam jātah pāpo mahātmanā/ chinnacāritryakaksvena satām dharmātivartinā, tyaktadharmānkuśenāham nihato rāmahastinā/ drśyamānas tu yudhyethā mayā yudhi nrpātmaja, adya vaivasvatam devam paśyes tvam nihato mayā/ tvayādrśyena tu rane nihato 'ham durāsadah, prasuptah pannageneva narah pānavaśam gatah/ sugrīvapriyakāmena yad aham nihatas tvayā, kanthe baddhvā pradadyām te 'nihatam rāvaṇam rane/ nyastām sāgaratoye vā pātāle vāpi maithilīm, jānayeyam tavādeśāc chvetām aśvatarīm iva/ yuktam yat prapnuyād rājyam sugrīvah svargate mayi, ayuktam yad adharmena tvavāham nihato rane/kāmam evamvidham lokah kālena vinivujvate, ksamam ced bhavatā prāptam uttaram sādhu cintyatām/ ity evam uktvā pariśuṣkavaktrah; śarābhighātād vyathito mahātmā, samīksya rāmam ravisamnikāśam; tūṣṇīm babhūvāmararājasūnuḥ/

As Mahabali Vaali had thus fallen down to earth severley with broken limbs like a huge tree got broken down, like Mahendra Dhwaja fell down too. Yet his vital energy, body shine and bravery were in tact. The sparkling golden garland studded with invaluable gems which Lord Indra himself gifted to him too was in place. His garland, body and the arrow which hit the 'marma sthala or ' the vital spot' were the targets and in place. One would be reminded of King Yayati who traversed all over the earth, enjoyed all celestial pleasures of food, gold, ornaments and women as his son exchanged his youth in favour of Yayati , as Shukracharya gave the boon, finally fell down from Swarga at the pralaya kaala .[Refer Sarga Six of the Essence of Valmiki Ayodhya Ramayana] As Vaali fell down to earth, Rama Lakshmanas approached him nearby. On seeing them, Vaali addressed Rama: 'Raghu nandana! You are the famed eldest son of King Dasharatha and seeing and meeting you would be a pleasure. I have not come here to face you in a battle but to another person. Then why have you hit me to fall almost dead on earth! What is

the great glory by your such deed. The definition of a battle is between two 'shatrus' and one gets the victory and another a defeat or death. The world wide fame that Rama is described about is that Ramachandra is of a memorable family, 'a satvaguna sampanna, tejasvi, karunaa svabhava, praja hita kaari, dayalu, samyochita karya karta,sadaachaara jnaata and of dridha pratigina'. He is also reputed as of 'indriva nigrah and is surfiet with dama-shama-kshama-dharma dhrita, and aparaadha dandaka.' As you are thus expected of such outstanding featues, my wife Tara Devi had rightly disallowed my to baatle with Sugriva as you are with him. Till such time that I had not seen you and met, I have had the dilemma whether I was alright to battle with Sugriva owing to his nearness to Rama. But now the doubt was cleared crystal clear now as I have fallen down in this condition due to your arrow strike, which is just unbelievable! na tvām vinihatātmānam dharmadhvajam adhārmikam, jāne pāpasamācāram trnaih kūpam ivāvṛtam/ satām vesadharam pāpam pracchannam iva pāvakam, nāham tvām abhijānāni dharmacchadmābhisamvrtam/ viṣaye vā pure vā te yadā nāpakaromy aham, na ca tvām pratijāne 'ham kasmāt tvain hainsy akilbiṣam/ Now I have become fully aware that my common sense has fully failed me. So far I have been convinced that you are a 'dharma dhwaja' but never expected that you are essentially an 'adharma dhyaja'. Your ways and means of thought and action are replete with wickedness and sinfulness. You are in the face cut and dressing manner of a 'sadhu mahatma'. Neither I had attacked or even created any kind of trouble in your kingdom nor I had ever even met you till now, and picked up enmity against you, then why have you punished me to near death! I am a vaanara who eats fruits and roots moving about of the wilderness of forests. With no fault of mine why have you sought to kill me and seek to rave about! Rama! You are a respectable son of a King. By assuming the dress of tapasvis, you do advertise your self in the name of Dharma and Nyaaya, the virtue and justice! kah kṣatriyakule jātaḥ śrutavān naṣṭasaṁśayaḥ,dharmaliṅga praticchannaḥ krūraṁ karma samācaret/ rāma rājakule jāto dharmavān iti viśrutah, abhavyo bhavyarūpena kimartham paridhāvasi/ sāma dānam ksamā dharmah satyam dhrtiparākramau, pārthivānām gunā rājan dandas cāpy apakārisu/ Who then would you think that a kshatriya converasant with the tenets of dharma and dressed accordingly too could dare to be cruel to such a showy man! Maharaja! You were born in the reputed Raghu kula stared to be popular as a dharma swarupa, but most unfortunately you have just now proved your self as a person of meanness and brutality. Why are you Rama showing off as a dharma dhwaja merely to mislesd the public to run after you! Rajan! The fundamental tenets of Bhupalaas are Sama-Dana-Kshama-Dharma-Satya-Dhriti-Parakrama-and Danda. But, by passing all these nuances of kshatriya dharma, you are jumping off the stages and have transgressed into adharma. Nareshwara Raa! We are forest animals eking our lives by eating fruits and roots. Why are your intervening into the internal squabbles of monkeys! What is our enmity with you all about, without least provocation by us. Neeti-Vinaya-Danda-Anugrah or Morality, Modesty, Toughness and Tolerance are the Raja Dharmas as applicable to suit the exigencies; yet Kings are not free to act as per their whims and fancies. But Shri Rama! You have enslavened yourself to desires [of recovering Devi Sita], anger [aganst me as instigated by Sugriva], and civility [of Societal Restraint]. Instead, without referecne to none of these ground rules, you show off your arrow hitting capacity indiscriminately! You have thus the least consideration of 'dharma' and have the fixation of 'artha saadhana' for the fullfillment of 'kaama' of the 'chaturvidha purushardhas' least bothering about the final concern of 'moksha'! Kakutsya! What would be your standing reply to a 'Satpurusha Sabha' as asked as to what would be the justification to kill a 'niraparaadha' by your 'baana prayoga! rājahā brahmahā goghnaś corah prānivadhe ratah, nāstikah parivettā ca sarve nirayagāminah/ adhāryam carma me sadbhī romāny asthi ca varjitam, abhaksyāni ca māmsāni tvadvidhair dharmacāribhi/ Is it not what Scriptures underline that Raja Hatya-Brahma Hatya-Go Hatya- Chora-Praani Himsa-Naastika-Parivetta or he who weds before elder brother's wedding are all the mile stones to narakas. Confirmed corruption, avarice, 'mitra hatya' and 'guru patni gaami' too land up in narakas. It is highy improper that 'satpurushas' to assume the skin of 'vaanaras, let alone even touch-much less eat- our body and parts. Then how indeed could you kill us. Indeed, my wife warned me and begged of me and prevented me from this encounter but I deceived myself and become a victim of fate. śatho naikṛtikah ksudro mithyā praśritamānasaḥ, katham daśarathena tvam jātaḥ pāpo mahātmanā/ How indeed a king of magnanimity like Dasharadha begot a sly, mean and selfish person who hides himself and practices archery without

daringly face the supposed opponent! Ha! A Rama Swarupa elephant who broke off the strings of dharma and maryada has put the principles to shame and crushed me like this. Raja Kumara! drśyamānas tu yudhyethā mayā yudhi nṛpātmaja, adya vaivasvatam devam paśyes tvam nihato mayā/ tvayādṛśyena tu rane nihato 'ham durāsadah, prasuptah pannageneva narah pānavaśam gatah/ If only you could face me on the battle arena and show off your self - assumed bravery and courage standing and challenging me, then I should have you to show the way to Surya Putra Yama's Loka! Just like a sleeping person is subjected by cruel serpent's poisonous bite even withou a hiss, you are killing me while hiding me as a coward. Moreover: sugrīvaprivakāmena vad aham nihatas tvavā, kanthe baddhvā pradadvām te 'nihatam rāvaṇam raṇe/ nyastām sāgaratoye vā pātāle vāpi maithilīm, jānayeyam tavādeśāc chvetām aśvatarīm iva/ yuktam yat prapnuyād rājyam sugrīvah svargate mayi, ayuktam yad adharmena tvayāham nihato rane/Rama! If only you approached me well before you did so to Sugriva, I should have brought Mithileshwari Devi Sita from the clutches of Ravanasura within a single day. I should have encountered the 'duraatma' Ravana and having tied his heads around a rope and brought her at your feet for what ever you should have decided about his surrender. Just as Bhagavan Hayagriva would have punished Madhu-Kaitabha Rakshasaas for their stealing 'shvetaashvatari shrutis', I should have handed over Devi Sita to you, even if I were to reach 'paataala'! But indeed, as I should now have to reach 'veera swarga' and Sugriva would no doubt be the king understandably, but the naked truth remains as a blot for ever that I get killed by 'adharma' as the posterity should realise'. Having declared like wise, Maha Veera Vaali could not bear the pain of the thrust of the arrow that drilled his intestines, and hence was not able to shout at Rama any further.

[Vishleshana on Bhagavan Hayagriva and Madhu Kaitabhas vide Devi Bhagavata Purana:

Devi Bhagavati blesses Vishnu as Hayagreeva: As Indra and Demi-Gods were performing a Sacrifice in the presence of Brahma and Mahesa, they had all desired Maha Vishnu to preside over the Function and called on Him. But, Lord Vishnu was in 'Yoga Nidra' or the Sleep of Deep Meditation and nobody would dare wake Him. More over, interruptions of somebody's speech, the love of a couple, or waking up a person's deep sleep are sins equivalent to 'Brahma hatya' or killing of a Brahmana. The Lord was seated in a 'Padmasana' posture squatting with His legs folded and resting His chin on the top of His Bow with an Arrow fully drawn. As the Sacrifice was to be concluded, Lord Siva advised Lord Brahma to create a White Ant, 'Vamri' and directed it to bite the arrow gently which should wake up the Lord to consciousness and thus make the request. The Vamri sensed the delicate situation and requested Brahma to grant it a return boon for the great risk being undertaken in disturbing the Yoga Nidra of no less a personality than Maha Vishnu Himself! Lords Brahma and Siva gave a boon to the Vamri that what ever trickles from the Sacrificial Offerings of Ghee in the Homa Kunda (Fire Pit) would spill out could be collected as its share. As commanded by Brahma, the insect bit the fore-end of the arrow and the tight string gave way at once and the entire Universe reverberated with horrifying sound as the earth quaked, mountains were shaken, Oceans rose high, Sun lost way and Devas got traumatised. Maha Vishnu's Head was severed with His Crown and there was no trace as to where it fell! Along with Devas, Brahma and Siva cried like human beings as there was a 'Pralaya'-like situation (Universal Dissolution). Then Deva Guru Brihaspati consoled Indra, Brahma and Siva and emboldened them to countenance the grim situation, as such eventualities did happen in the past. The only recourse that Lords Siva and Brahma, accompanied by Indra and Demi-Gods, had in one voice made an intense appeal to Maha Devi Bhagavati, the Eternal Cause of Causes, the very Original Energy, the Life Force of entire Creation, the Bindu and Pranava, the Sourcing Fountain of knowledge and above all the Embodiment of Charity and Forgiveness. Pleased by the most sincere prayers of Brahma and Siva downward, 'Nirguna' Maha Devi hinted that there ought to be a cause for the tragedy. In the company of Maha Lakshmi, once Maha Vishnu laughed by thinking of something. Lakshmi Devi failed to understand the possible reason as to why Vishnu was so much amused about. Was it a spot on Her face or was it due to another woman in His desire? Then as Vishnu did not clarify, Lakshmi assumed 'Tamasic Guna' and gave a curse to Him saying that His head should fall off. Thus happened the resultant tragedy despite Her sincere repentance. While this tragedy took place, there was a coincidental incident that a tough Davana of extraordinary cruelty, named Hayagriya or the Demon with the neck of a horse, resorted to severe 'Tapas' (Meditation) to

Maha Bhagavati for thousands of years by following a strict regime of Sacrifice and unflinching devotion. Maha Devi appeared before the Rakshasa and granted him a boon that no Power in the Universe could cause death to him, except by an Extraordinary Energy in the form similar to his own viz. Hayagriva form alone could destroy him. Brahma and Siva hastened with the solution to the present gravest tragedy and instructed Devata's own Architect, Visyakarma to do the needful. The Architect killed a horse at once and fixed its neck to Vishnu's severed head and thus emerged Hayagriva. Vishnu destroys Madhu Kaitabha brothers: When Maha Vishnu was in Yoga Nidra in a comfortable posture of lying on the bed of Ananta Naga, two Demon brothers named Madhu and Kaitabha were born from the wax of Maha Vishnu's ears. Their birth was a mystery and unknown as felt by the brothers themselves whose physical forms grew fast and strong day by day, even as they were playing in the ocean surroundings, killing various kinds of aquatic species for food or play and finally stealing Vedas. Coming of age in course of time, the Demon brothers with huge bodies and proportionate common sense too, realised that there must have been a Massive Force which alone could have given birth to them. From the air, they heard a sound 'Vagbija' the Seed Mantra (Seed 'Bija' and 'Vak' the Speech of Goddess Sarasvati). To start with fun, but later on with maturity, they kept on practising the sound for years together, little realising the impact of the Mantra's repetition. In fact, they became so obsessed with the Mantra that they neither had food nor sleep, but with full concentration and utmost sincerity. 'The Parasakti's Voice emerged from the Skies that the Danava brothers would be invincible in the entire Universe provided they were united and fight two-some. Blessed by Maha Devi, the two brothers became swollen with pride and eventually attacked Lord Brahma Himself. On realising that they were unconquerable, Brahma who was seated on the lotus- head sprouting from Maha Vishnu's navel, tried the age-old four means. He tried to use 'Sama (Counselling) 'Dana' (Gifting or bribing), 'Bheda' (put one against another) and finally 'Danda' (Punish), but neither of these media appeared feasible; he ran away to Vaikuntha for protection but Maha Vishnu was in Yoga Nidra. Brahma had thus prayed to Yoga Nidra Devi to prompt Maha Vishnu to wake up. It was actually Maha Maya's discretion which mattered as Vishnu Himself could not regain consciouness on His own. The concentrate of 'Tamo Guna' - Maha Maya - was earnestly prayed to by Brahma, as this was a prestige issue for him and the entire domain of Gods! Maha Maya left Vishnu free and He was fully woken up to face the challenge of the hour, viz. to either manipulate or massacre the brothers, Madhu and Kaitabha. Lord Vishnu invited the brothers to fight with Himself. The fight continued for five thousand years but without a tangible result. As the Demons were clashing one after another and Lord Vishnu was in duel singly, the latter asked the brothers to give a break as it was against Justice that they took alternate positions while He was alone. During the break, Vishnu prayed to Maha Shakti and complained that the fight was unfair and that they were also given by Her the boon of voluntary death or 'Svacchanda Maranam'. Maha Shakti realised the lacuna in the duel and advised Vishnu to give boons to the brothers so that a way out would automatically open up. Meanwhile, Maha Shakti agreed to be present at the fight in physical form and disturb the concentration of the Demon brothers by casting Her fake amorous looks. This encouraged Vishnu to convey the Demons that their duel with Him was of great quality and thus He was ready to give boons to them. They got into the trap as they boasted that they were prepared to give boons to Him instead of the other way around. Vishnu grabbed the opportunity and said that He be given the boon of their death by killing each other! The brothers gave an excuse that the boon could be given only provided there was no water or wetness in the Ocean. Vishnu expanded his thighs manifold so that there could be adequate space for the killings. The Demons expanded their bodies too and thus the thighs of Vishnu and the body sizes of the brothers kept on increasing horizontally and vertically proportionately. Finally, the illusion created by Vishnu proved stronger and the brothers had to yield to their own killings. Thus Maha Shakti who assumed human physique and paved the way to the killings of the Danava brothers without breaking the Rules of 'Dharma Yuddha', partly by trickery and partly by Maya or Illusion.]

Sarga Eighteen

Shri Rama, having let Vaali steam off his anguish from his deadly fall, replies point by point and fully justifying action in releasing his frightful arrow, yet with sympathy

Ity uktah praśritam vākyam dharmārthasahitam hitam, parusam vālinā rāmo nihatena vicetasā/ tam nisprabham ivādityam muktatoyam ivāmbudam, uktavākyam hariśrestham upaśāntam ivānalam/ dharmārthagunasampannam harīśvaram anuttamam, adhikṣiptas tadā rāmaḥ paścād vālinam abravīt/ dharmam artham ca kāmam ca samayam cāpi laukikam, avijnāya katham bālyān mām ihādya vigarhase/ aprstvā buddhisampannān vrddhān ācārvasammatān, saumva vānaracāpalvāt tvam mām vaktum ihecchasi/ ikṣvākūṇām iyam bhūmiḥ saśailavanakānanā, mṛgapakṣimanuṣyāṇām nigrahānugrahāv api/ tām pālayati dharmātmā bharatah satyavāg rjuh, dharmakāmārthatattvajño nigrahānugrahe ratah/ nayaś ca vinayaś cobhau yasmin satyam ca susthitam, vikramaś ca yathā dṛṣṭaḥ sa rājā deśakālavit/ dharmakrtādeśā vayam anye ca pārthivah, carāmo vasudhām krtsnām dharmasamtānam icchavah/ tasmin nṛpatiśārdūla bharate dharmavatsale, pālayaty akhilām bhūmim kaś cared dharmanigraham te vayam mārgavibhrastam svadharme parame sthitāh, bharatājñām puraskṛtya nigṛhnīmo yathāvidhi/ tvam tu samklistadharmā ca karmanā ca vigarhitah, kāmatantrapradhānas ca na sthito rājavartmani/ jyestho bhrātā pitā caiva yaś ca vidyām prayacchati, trayas te pitaro jñeyā dharme ca pathi vartinaḥ/ yavīyān ātmanah putrah śisyaś cāpi gunoditah, putravat te trayaś cintyā dharmaś ced atra kāranam/ sūksmah paramadurjñevah satām dharmah plavamgama, hrdisthah sarvabhūtānām ātmā veda subhāsubham/ capalas capalaih sārdham vānarair akrtātmabhih, jātyandha iva jātyandhair mantrayan draksyase nu kim/ aham tu vyaktatām asya vacanasya bravīmi te, na hi mām kevalam roṣāt tvam vigarhitum arhasi/ tad etat kāranam paśya yadartham tyam mayā hatah, bhrātur vartasi bhāryāyām tyaktyā dharmam sanātanam/ asya tvam dharamānasya sugrīvasya mahātmanah, rumāyām vartase kāmāt snusāyām pāpakarmakrt/ tad vyatītasya te dharmāt kāmavrttasya vānara, bhrātrbhāryābhimarśe 'smin daṇḍo 'yam pratipāditaļ/ na hi dharmaviruddhasya lokavrttād apeyuṣaḥ, daṇḍād anyatra paśyāmi nigraham hariyūthapa/ aurasīm bhaginīm vāpi bhāryām vāpy anujasya yaḥ, pracareta naraḥ kāmāt tasya daṇḍo vadhah smrtah/ bharatas tu mahīpālo vayam tv ādeśavartinah, tvam ca dharmād atikrāntah katham śakyam upeksitum/ gurudharmavyatikrāntam prājño dharmena pālayan, bharatah kāmavṛttānām nigrahe paryavasthitah/ vayam tu bharatādeśam vidhim krtvā harīśvara, tvadvidhān bhinnamaryādān niyantum paryavasthitāḥ/ sugrīveṇa ca me sakhyam lakṣmaṇena yathā tathā, dārarājyanimittam ca niḥśreyasi ratah sa me/ pratijñā ca mayā dattā tadā vānarasamnidhau, pratijñā ca katham śakyā madvidhenānaveksitum/ tad ebhih kāranaih sarvair mahadbhir dharmasamhitaih/ śāsanam tava vad vuktam tad bhayān anumanyatām/ saryathā dharma ity eya drastavyas taya nigrahaam, yayasyasyopa kartavyam dharmam evānupasyatā/ rājabhir dhṛtadaṇḍās tu kṛtvā pāpāni mānavāḥ, nirmalāḥ svargam āyānti santah sukrtino yathā/ āryena mama māndhātrā vyasanam ghoram īpsitam, śramanena krte pāpe yathā pāpam kṛtam tvayā/ anyair api kṛtam pāpam pramattair vasudhādhipaih, prāyaścittam ca kurvanti tena tac chāmyate rajah/ tad alam paritāpena dharmatah parikalpitah, vadho vānaraśārdūla na vayam svavaśe sthitāh/ vāgurābhiś ca pāśaiś ca kūtaiś ca vividhair narāh, praticchannāś ca dṛśyāś ca gṛhnanti subahūn mṛgān, pradhāvitān vā vitrastān visrabdhān ativisthitān/ pramattān apramattān vā narā māmsārthino bhṛśam, vidhyanti vimukhāmś cāpi na ca doso 'tra vidyate' yānti rājarṣayaś cātra mṛgayām dharmakovidāh, tasmāt tvam nihato yuddhe mayā bāṇena vānara, ayudhyan pratiyudhyan vā yasmāc chākhāmrgo hy asi/ durlabhasya ca dharmasya jīvitasya śubhasya ca, rājāno vānaraśrestha pradātāro na samśayah/ tān na himsyān na cākrośen nākṣipen nāpriyam vadet, devā mānuṣarūpeṇa caranty ete mahītale/ tvam tu dharmam avijnāya kevalam roşam āsthitah, pradūşayasi mām dharme pitrpaitāmahe sthitam/ evam uktas tu rāmena vālī pravyathito bhṛśam, pratyuvāca tato rāmam prāñjalir vānareśvaral/ yat tvam āttha naraśreṣṭha tad evam nātra samśayaḥ, prativaktum prakṛṣṭe hi nāpakṛṣṭas tu śaknuyāt/ vad ayuktam mayā pūrvam pramādād vākyam apriyam, tatrāpi khalu me dosam kartum nārhasi rāghava tvam hi drstārthatattvajñah prajānām ca hite ratah, kāryakāraņasiddhau te prasannā buddhir avyayā/ mām apy avagatam dharmād vyatikrāntapuraskṛtam, dharmasamhitayā vācā dharmajña paripālaya/ bāṣpasamruddhakaṇṭhas tu vālī sārtaravaḥ śanaiḥ, uvāca rāmam samprekṣya paṅkalagna iva dvipaḥ/ na tv ātmānam aham soce na tārām nāpi bāndhavān, yathā putram guņasrestham angadam kanakāngadam/ sa mamādaršanād dīno bālyāt prabhrti lālitah, tatāka iva pītāmbur upašosam gamisyati/sugrīve cāngade caiva vidhatsva matim uttamām, tvam hi śāstā ca goptā ca kāryākāryavidhau sthitah/ yā te narapate vṛttir bharate lakṣmaṇe ca yā, sugrīve cāṅgade rājaṁs tāṁ cintayitum arhasi/ maddoṣakṛtadoṣāṁ tāṁ vathā tārām tapasvinīm, sugrīvo nāvamanveta tathāvasthātum arhasi/ tvavā hv anugrhītena śakvam

rājyam upāsitum, tvadvaśe vartamānena tava cittānuvartinā, sa tam āśvāsayad rāmo vālinam vyaktadarśanam/ na vayam bhavatā cintyā nāpy ātmā harisattama, vayam bhavadviśeṣeṇa dharmataḥ kṛtaniścayāḥ/ daṇḍye yaḥ pātayed daṇḍam daṇḍyo yaś cāpi daṇḍyate, kāryakāraṇasiddhārthāv ubhau tau nāvasīdataḥ/ tad bhavān daṇḍasamyogād asmād vigatakalmaṣaḥ, gataḥ svām prakṛtim dharmyām dharmadṛṣṭtena vartmanā/ sa tasya vākyam madhuram mahātmanaḥ; samāhitam dharmapathānu - vartinaḥ, niśamya rāmasya raṇāvamardino; vacaḥ suyuktam nijagāda vānaraḥ/ śarābhitaptena vicetasā mayā; pradūṣitas tvam yad ajānatā prabho, idam mahendropamabhīmavikrama; prasāditas tvam kṣama me mahīśvara/

As the fallen hero Vaali severely criticised Shri Rama for having hit his deadly arrow without facing him while Vaali was immersed in hitting blows to Sugriva on their one- to-one duel, Shri Rama replied to Vaali: Vaanara! It is not only you with the awareness of the common knowledge of dharma-artha-and kaama paths of 'dharma shastra' that you have been raving about childishly and blaming me! You are only exhibiting the typical trait of 'chapalata' or physical and mental wavering and unsteadiness typical of immature kids as common to your race. Without knowing the nuances of dharma as learnt from 'acharyas' with oriental vedic knowledge, you seem to have heard and picked up a few expressions of dharma without understanding their correct application and pespective and seeking to criticise me. Are you truly aware of the acclaim of Ikshvaaku Vamsha on the entire earth comprising mountains, forests, rivers and various species of human beings, pashu pakshis, and water based beings. Dharmatma King named Bharata of yore who administered the Prithvi was the true Satyavaadi, with the perspective of the tatva jnaana of dharma-artha-kaamas which he imbibed from ancient Rishis and Veda Panditas. It is such a King from whom the lineage of Kings who absorbed the precepts of morality, discipline, truthfulness, and the Kingship duties as per the desha-kaala-tatvaas. That was why the Kings of the yore were moving about freely around the prithvi having adapted themselves of the basics. All the Kings on Prithvi being the followers of the ancient most Bharata do and should most certainly follow lest they cerainly attract retribution. tvam tu samklistadharmā ca karmanā ca vigarhitah, kāmatantrapradhānas ca na sthito rājavartmani/ jyestho bhrātā pitā caiva yaś ca vidyām prayacchati, trayas te pitaro jñeyā dharme ca pathi vartinaḥ/ yavīyān ātmanaḥ putraḥ śiṣyaś cāpi guṇoditaḥ, putravat te trayaś cintyā dharmaś ced atra kāranam/ Unfortunately, Vaali! You have merely followed more of 'Kaama' than of 'Dharma'. You were never steady on the path becoming of Kings. You have always breached the tenets of Dharma and resorted to acts that pained the concept and that was how you had to incur the wrath of Satpurusha Mahatmas (like Maatanga Muni). Dharmatva prescribes that the elder brother, father, and Guru are of the status of a father himself. Likewise, the younger brother, son, and the loyal disciple is also a acet ofdharma. Vaanara! Dharma of the ancestry is too deep and minute and to understand is too difficult, much less to follow. sūksmah paramadurjñeyah satām dharmah plavamgama, hṛdisthah sarvabhūtānām ātmā veda śubhāśubham/ capalaś capalaih sārdham vānarair akrtātmabhih, jātyandha iva jātyandhair mantrayan drakşyase nu kim/ aham tu vyaktatām asya vacanasya bravīmi te, na hi mām kevalam roṣāt tvam vigarhitum arhasi/Vanara! The true meaning and application of Dharma of nobility is deep and dense as to realise what is auspicious and what is not. You even being a King are always in the company of vaanaras whose essential trait is 'chitta chaanchalya'. A born blind would not be able to another blind. How indeed could you understand the fine distinction and the shade of dharma and nyaya! What all you have blabbered a while ago was understandably out of helplessness and desperation and I do understand your state of psyche. tad etat kāranam paśya yadartham tvam mayā hatah, bhrātur vartasi bhāryāyām tyaktvā dharmam sanātanam/ asya tvam dharamānasya sugrīvasya mahātmanah, rumāyām vartase kāmāt snuṣāyām pāpakarmakrt/ tad vyatītasya te dharmāt kāmavrttasya vānara, bhrātrbhāryābhimarśe 'smin dando 'yam pratipāditah/ Do you really wish to know as to why I have to punish you! Are you not ashamed of seizing your younger brother's wife into bed! Even as this dharmatma Sugriva is still alive, how dare that you perform this insulting 'atyaachaara' to Devi Ruma out of your blind fascination for her! Vanaraadhama! As you had become a 'dharma bhrashta', do you think you are free to act as a 'svecchha vihaari'! Hence I have punished to the destiny of death! na hi dharmaviruddhasya lokavṛttād apeyusah, daṇḍād anyatra paśyāmi nigraham hariyūthapa/ aurasīm bhaginīm vāpi bhāryām vāpy anujasya yaḥ, pracareta narah kāmāt tasva dando vadhah smrtah/ I happen to be born of a Kshatriya and that is why I

ought to punish to you to death. He who transgresses his boundary and perfoms lustful acts with a daughter, sister, or brother's wife ought to be punished with death being of royalty. We Kshatriyas of royalty follow the footsteps of Dharmatma Bharata who was our age old Khastriya Raja. That Vidwan Bharata would most certainly put to death of such 'kaamaandhas' and so did I. Sugriva had become my close friend as of my brother Lakshmana. He requested me to return his wife as well as his kingdom. Then how indeed could I not assist him as I had made a pratigina to that effect! sarvathā dharma ity eva drastavyas tava nigrahaam, vayasyasyopa -kartavyam dharmam evānupasyatā/ Those who value the sworn friendship of a close friend do most certainly have the bounden obligation expected of dharma and hence such ruthless 'atyaachara' ought to be punished with death. Bhagavan Manu in Manu Smriti directed as follows: rājabhir dhrtadandās tu kṛtvā pāpāni mānavāh, nirmalāh svargam āyānti santah sukṛtino yathā/ āryena mama māndhātrā vyasanam ghoram īpsitam, śramanena kṛte pāpe yathā pāpam krtam tvayā/ As humans execute brazen acts of sinfulness, then the Kings concerned ought to punish them even with death then the victims having been rid of the sinfulness pave the way to swarga. But if the King concerned ignored the transparent sinfulness, then the King himself would have to suffer that very quantum and quality of the person concerned! Duratma Vaali! You had sinned limitlessly transgressing all norms of decency. In the remote past tense Chakravarti Mandhata, one Shramana too was given a 'maha paapa' and as per Scriptures he gave a retributary punishment but was not sure that the 'danda' might or might not have been adequate and hence made a 'prayaschitta' or advance exoneration of the sin committed by Shramana so that the latter's great sin and the punishment given were equitable or not! [Vishleshana on Chakravarti Mandhata from Maha Bhagavata Purana:

Tracing the origin of Ikshvaku, the eldest son of Vaivasvata Manu, in the lineage to King Puranjaya (Kakustha) who fought a war between Demons and Demi-Gods on behalf of Indra on the condition that Indra would take the form of a bull. Puranjaya rode on the hump of the Great Bull and hence Puranjaya's title was 'Kakustha' (hump of the Bull) as also Indravahana or the vehicle of Indra. In the family lineage of Puranjaya was born King Yuvanashva, who performed Indra Yagna to beget a child. During the Sacrifice days one night the King felt thirsty and entered the Fire Spot area and drank the Sacred Water meant to bless his wife a child. As the Brahmanas found the water pot empty, they were aghast that the King drank the Water and eventually, he got a child from his abdomen. The boy cried for milk and that was not possible from the father; Indra put his index finger in the child's mouth and thus saved him. The Boy was Mandhata, who became eventually an undisputed Emperor of the World comprising seven islands-'from where Sun rose to where it set'. He was a terror to Rakshasas. [He was stated to have discovered LakeManasarovar near MountKailash as he was reputed to have made penance at the banks of the Lake under the mountain range was named after him. It was believed that there was a SerpentMansion where Mandhata prayed and from a tree dropped fruits making big noises like 'Jam' and the area was known as 'Jambudweep']. Mandhata's wife Chatrarathi alias Bindumati was a pious lady who begot two sons, Purukutsa and Muchikunda and fifty daughters. Sage Saubhari an old person who lived twelve years under water in penance was tempted to marry as he found fishes having sex and procreating children. He hesitantly asked Mandhata to let him marry any of his daughters. Mandhata was reluctant as Saubhari was diseased and old, but could not disagree as the Sage might get furious; he told the Sage that his family custom was that all the daughters must marry the same person and that even one of them should not refuse the Sage. The Sage with his mystical powers transformed himself into a handsome youth and thus all the daughters agreed to marry him. The Sage made mansions for each of the girls. But, in course of time, Sage Saurabha realised that because of the fish in water, his entire Spiritual life was destroyed and although late in his life reverted back to a more introspective life eventually and intensified his devotion to Lord Vishnu.]

Stanza 35 continued: *tad alam paritāpena dharmataḥ parikalpitaḥ, vadho vānaraśārdūla na vayam svavaśe sthitāḥ*/ Vanara shreshtha! What is the use even if you feel sorry for the vicious actions you have perpetrated in the past several years now. Vanararashiromani! Yet another significant cause for my killing you be now heard further: *pramattān apramattān vā narā māmsārthino bhṛśam, vidhyanti vimukhāmś cāpi na ca doṣo 'tra vidyate/ yānti rājarṣayaś cātra mṛgayām dharmakovidāḥ, tasmāt tvam nihato yuddhe mayā bānena vānara, avudhyan pratiyudhyan vā vasmāc chākhāmrgo hy asi/* Kshatriyas who are

basically meat eaters keep on going on hunting sprees and are not prohibited to kill mriga-pakshis as such. Vaanara! Dharmagina Rajarshis too are used to hunting mrigas. That is why I, as a kshatriya, have made you my target of hunting whether the mriga is a vegetarian or not. Kingship bestows the authority of safeguarding dharma, life of their Subjects as per the established regulations for sure. Therefore do not teach me the do's and don'ts of kshatriva dharma.!' As Shri Rama thus replied especially pointing out Vaali's incest by forcing to bed of his own sister in law, besides a Khatriya's birth right to hunt 'vanya mrigas', Vaali had in his inner thoughts felt that his shouting and bursting criticism of Shri Rama on the basis of the principles of sanaatana dharma was wasteful and boomranged back actually. Vaali had to concede: yad ayuktam maya pūrvam pramādād vākyam apriyam, tatrāpi khalu me dosam kartum nārhasi rāghava/ tvam hi drstārthatattvajñah prajānām ca hite ratah, kārvakāranasiddhau te prasannā buddhir avyayā/ mām apy avagatam dharmād vyatikrāntapuraskṛtam, dharmasamhitayā vācā dharmajña paripālaya/ Nara shreshtha! What ever you have replied to my blabberings on the so called principles of dharma are convincing and putting me to shame. What ever a person of your indescribably high stature has stated is the essence of paramaartha tatwa and your innenr vision is truly transparent, fealess and decisive. Dharmagina! I am the worst of the Beings of 'dharma bhrashtavyata' and the lowest of those richly deserving of punishment of death.' Having said thus, Vaali like an elephant sunk deep into the depths of mud, broke down to tears and slowly stated in very low tone: I am not worried so much about myself, Devi Tara, freinds and followers but the most innocent and 'sadguna sampanna suputra' Kumara Angada. sa mamādarśanād dīno bālyāt prabhrti lālitah, tatāka iva pītāmbur upaśosam gamisyati/sugrīve cāngade caiva vidhatsva matim uttamām, tvam hi śāstā ca goptā ca kāryākāryavidhau sthitaļ/ yā te narapate vṛttir bharate lakṣmaṇe ca yā, sugrīve cāṅgade rājaṁs tāṁ cintayitum arhasi/ Even from his childhood, I had never heeded about Angada and truly neglected about him or his whatabouts and now I am like a dried up water pond. Shri Rama! Andgada is a much neglected and ignorant boy with no training expected of a father or a guru due to my arrogant nigligence. I wish that Sugriva would look afer him with care and goodwill as he would to Lakshmana, besides advise him well as to what to do and what not. Now as for the hapless Tara my dear wife, well wisher, advisor and a close friend, I hope and request to treat her well and make proper arrangement for her wellbeing. Indeed it was Tara that advised me again and again never to fight with Sugriva, and much less with Rama. Further: tvayā hy anugrhītena śakvam rājyam upāsitum, tvadvaśe vartamānena tava cittānuvartinā/ Rama! Sugriva would now be able to administer the Vanara Kingdom ably and truthfully under your outstanding stewardship. Now my earnest wish too has since been that I should be killed by your hands and that was how never heeded to Tara's entreaties.' Then Shri Rama replied: 'Vaanara shreshtha Vaali! Please do not get concerned about these terminak problems like Angada, Devi Tara, and the rest of administrative issues as we ahould take ample care and the needful. dandye yah pātayed dandam dandyo yaś cāpi dandyate, kāryakāranasiddhārthāv ubhau tau nāvasīdatah/ tad bhavān daņdasamyogād asmād vigatakalmasah, gatah svām prakṛtim dharmyām dharmadṛṣṭṭena vartmanā/ Vaali! As the due punishment is accorded, the person punished feels and argees that the punishment was justified, then the issues of the person punished, the one who punishes and the justification of the punishment do all get resolved and the one punished need not be tearfull thereafter. Now, please get rid of your heart the feelings of 'shoka-moha-bhaya' as daivika vidhana needed to be noted with resolve and peacefulness.

Sargas Nineteen and Twenty

Vaali calls Devi Tara and Angada Kumara near to his death bed cryingly and Devi Tara's 'vilaapa' Savānaramahārājaḥ śayānaḥ śaravikṣataḥ.,pratyukto hetumadvākyair nottaram pratyapadyata/ aśmabhiḥ paribhinnāṅgaḥ pādapair āhato bhṛśam, rāmabāṇena cākrānto jīvitānte mumoha saḥ/ tam bhāryābāṇamokṣeṇa rāmadattena saṃyuge, hatam plavagaśārdūlam tārā śuśrāva vālinam/ sā saputrāpriyam śrutvā vadham bhartuḥ sudāruṇam, niṣpapāta bhṛśam trastā vividhād girigahvarāt/ ye tv aṅgadaparīvārā vānarā hi mahābalāḥ, te sakārmukam ālokya rāmam trastāḥ pradudruvuḥ/ sā dadarśa tatas trastān harīn āpatato drutam, yūthād iva paribhraṣṭān mṛgān nihatayūthapān/ tān uvāca samāsādya duḥkhitān duḥkhitā satī, rāma vitrāsitān sarvān anubaddhān iveṣubhiḥ/ vānarā rājasimhasya yasya yūyam puraḥsarāḥ, tam vihāya suvitrastāḥ kasmād dravata durgatāḥ/ rājyahetoḥ sa ced bhrātā bhrātā raudreṇa pātitaḥ, rāmeṇa praṣṛtair dūrān mārgaṇair dūra pātibhiḥ/ kapipatnyā vacaḥ śrutvā

kapayah kāmarūpinah, prāptakālam aviślistam ūcur vacanam anganām/jīva putre nivartasya putram raksasva cāndagam, antako rāma rūpena hatvā nayati vālinam/ ksiptān vrksān samāvidhya vipulāś ca śilās tathā, vālī vajrasamair bāṇair vajreṇeva nipātitah/ abhidrutam idam sarvam vidrutam prasṛtam balam, asmin playagaśārdūle hate śakrasamaprabhe/ raksyatām nagaram śūrair angadaś cābhisicyatā, padastham vālinah putram bhajisvanti plavamgamāh/ atha vā ruciram sthānam iha te rucirānane, āviśanti hi durgāṇi kṣipram adyaiva vānarāḥ/ abhāryāḥ saha bhāryāś ca santy atra vanacāriṇaḥ, lubdhebhyo viprayuktebhyah svebhyo nas tumulam bhayam/ alpāntaragatānām tu śrutvā vacanam anganā, ātmanaḥ pratirūpam sā babhāṣe cāruhāsinī/ putreṇa mama kim kāryam kim rājyena kim ātmanā, kapisimhe mahābhāge tasmin bhartari nasyati/pādamūlam gamişyāmi tasyaivāham mahātmanah, yo sau rāmaprayuktena śarena vinipātitah/ evam uktvā pradudrāva rudatī śokakarśitā, śiraś coraś ca' bāhubhyām duhkhena samabhighnatī/āvrajantī dadarśātha patim nipatitam bhuvi, hantāram dānavendrānām samaresv anivartinām/kseptāram parvatendrānām vajrānām iva vāsavam, mahāvātasamāvistam mahāmeghaughaniḥsvanam/ śakratulyaparākrāntam vṛṣṭvevoparatam ghanam, nardantam nardatām bhīmam sūram sūreņa pātitam sārdūlenāmisasyārthe mrgarājam yathā hatam, arcitam sarvalokasva sapatākam savedikam/ nāgahetoh suparnena caitvam unmathitam vathā, avaştabhyāvatişthantam dadarśa dhanur ūrjitam/ rāmam rāmānujam caiva bhartuś caivānujam śubhā, tān atītya samāsādya bhartāram nihatam raņe/ samīkṣya vyathitā bhūmau sambhrāntā nipapāta ha, supteva punar utthāya āryaputreti krośatī/ ruroda sā patim dṛstvā samditam mṛtyudāmabhih, tām aveksya tu sugrīvah krośantīm kurarīm iva/ visādam agamat kastam dṛstvā cāṅgadam āgatam/ Rāmacāpavisṛṣṭena śareṇāntakareṇa tam, dṛṣṭvā vinihatam bhūmau tārā tārādhipānanā/ sā samāsādya bhartāram paryaşvajata bhāminī, işuṇābhihatam dṛṣṭvā vālinam kuñjaropamam/ vānarendram mahendrābham śokasamtaptamānasā, tārā tarum ivonmūlam paryadevayad āturā/ raņe dāruņavikrānta pravīra plavatām vara, kim dīnām apurobhāgām adya tvam nābhibhāṣase/ uttiṣṭha hariśārdūla bhajasva sayanottamam, naivamvidhāh serate hi bhūmau nṛpatisattamāh/ atīva khalu te kāntā vasudhā vasudhādhipa, gatāsur api yām gātrair mām vihāya nisevase/ vyaktam anyā tvayā vīra dharmatah sampravartatā, kiskindheva purī ramyā svargamārge vinirmitā/ yāny asmābhis tvayā sārdham vanesu madhugandhişu, vihrtāni tvayā kāle teṣām uparamaḥ krtaḥ/ nirānandā nirāśāham nimagnā śokasāgare, tvayi pañcatvam āpanne mahāyūthapayūthape/ hrdayam susthiram mahyam drstvā vinihatam bhuvi yan na śokābhisamtaptam sphutate 'dva sahasradhā/ sugrīvasva tvavā bhārvā hrtā sa ca vivāsitah, vat tat tasya tvayā vyuştiḥ prāpteyam plavagādhipa/ niḥśreyasaparā mohāt tvayā cāham vigarhitā, yaiṣābruvam hitam vākyam vānarendrahitaisinī/kālo nihsamśayo nūnam jīvitāntakaras tava, balād yenāyapanno 'si sugrīvasyāvaśo vaśam/ vaidhavyam śokasamtāpam krpanam krpanā satī, aduhkhopacitā pūrvam vartavisyāmy anāthavat/ lālitaś cāṅgado vīrah sukumārah sukhocitah, vatsyate kām avasthāṁ me pitrvye krodhamūrchite/ kurusva pitaram putra sudṛstam dharmavatsalam, durlabham darsanam tv asya tava vatsa bhavişyati/ samāśvāsaya putram tvam samdeśam samdiśasva ca, mūrdhni cainam samāghrāya pravāsam prasthito hy asi/ rāmeņa hi mahat karma kṛtam tvām abhinighnatā, ānṛṇyam tu gatam tasya sugrīvasya pratiśrave/ sakāmo bhava sugrīva rumām tvam pratipatsyase, bhunksva rājyam anudvignah śasto bhrātā ripus tava/ kim mām evam vilapatīm premnā tvam nābhibhāsase, imāh paśva varā bahvīr bhārvās te vānareśvara/ tasvā vilapitam śrutvā vānarvah sarvataś ca tāh, parigrhvāngadam dīnam duḥkhārtāḥ paricukruśuḥ/ kim aṅgadaṁ sāṅgada vīra bāho; vihāya yāsy adya cirapravāsaṁ, na yuktam evam gunasamnikṛstam; vihāya putram priyaputra gantum/ kim apriyam te priyacāruvesa; kṛtam mayā nātha sutena vā te, sahāyinīm adya vihāya vīra; yamaksayam gacchasi durvinītam/ yady apriyam kim cid asampradhārya; krtam mayā syāt tava dīrghabāho, kṣamasva me tad dharivamsa nātha; vrajāmi mūrdhnā tava vīra pādau/ tathā tu tārā karuṇam rudantī; bhartuḥ samīpe saha vānarībhiḥ, vyavasyata prāyam anindyavarņā; upopavestum bhuvi yatra vālī/

As Tara Devi came to know that her dear husband Vaali was hurt by Rama's arrow and fell down to earth as his body parts were severely damaged by the fall of heavy stones, was distressed and ran towards the spot. As she was running in a great rush and anxiety, the public got panic and started running away. Even as Vaali's intimate followers were about to do so, she shouted at them: 'you cowards! When King Vaali was going anywhere, you used to proudly go ahead of him but now at a time of the crisis, you are running away out of fright now, leaving your leader now in distress'. One of the frightened vanara soldiers of

Vaali then addressed her: 'Devi! get back soon and save your son Angada. Rama has now assumed the form of Yama Raja and since Sugriva and his followers are on the prowl you must save Angada Kumara first and further the nagara vasis too. Then she replied to the agitated soldiers and the 'Kishkindha purajana' who quickly got collected at the crisis: putreṇa mama kim kāryam kim rājyena kim ātmanā, kapisimhe mahābhāge tasmin bhartari naśvati/pādamūlam gamisvāmi tasvaivāham mahātmanah, vo 'sau rāmaprayuktena śareṇa vinipātitah/ Vanaras! Even as Maha Raja Vaali is in this grave condition, and as he indeed is my 'pati deva', I should first and foremost run to see him and his condition before the safety of my son, the kingdom and that of the public. I should now run to see him and his condition as my utmost priority.' So saying Devi Tara approached Vaali by pounding her heart and head crying away and running. kseptāram parvatendrānām vajrānām iva vāsavam, mahāvātasamāvistam mahāmeghaugha -nihsvanam/ śakratulyaparākrāntam vṛstvevoparatam ghanam, nardantam nardatām bhīmam śūram śūrena pātitam/ śārdūlenāmisasyārthe mrgarājam yathā hatam, arcitam sarvalokasya sapatākam savedikam/ She wailed in high tone: Ha! Mahabala Vaali made a valiant dwandhva yuddha with Sugriva by uprooting mountains and hurling with cloud burst like garjanas even like Lord Indra Himself, but was hurt and fallen to dust by another Veera Shri Rama. Just as two lions of Vaali Sugrivas fought for the flesh of kingdoms, another third party of a more valiant warrior had solved the dispute by supporting Sugriva. Rama hid himself behind a huge tree near a temple's broad platform like a 'vedi' and surreptitiously released a 'mantrika baana', aiming at my dear husband Vaali as he tripped down hurt to dust. On proceeding further, I had seen Rama with Lakshmanas and Sugriva too. samīksya vyathitā bhūmau sambhrāntā nipapāta ha, supteva punar utthāya āryaputreti krośatī/ ruroda sā patim dṛṣṭvā samditam mṛtyudāmabhiḥ, tām avekṣya tu sugrīvaḥ krośantīm kurarīm iva/ viṣādam agamat kaṣṭam dṛṣṭvā cāṅgadam āgatam/ Then having crossed them all, I find my dear husband and cried out loudly: 'ha Arya Putra! as he fell as though he was lying though he was ensnarled into the 'mrityu paasha'. Then she approached her dear husband crying away as their son Angada too while Sugriva too joined.: Kumara! Now you have looked at the pitiable state of your dear father; now, what will happen as you are placed in the hands of your insane Sugriva uncle. Then she addressed Sugriva: 'Your fond wish is now fulfilled; your elder brother whmo you had always considered as your sworn enemy is now as good as dead. Do enjoy kingship and also Ruma.' As Devi Tara's extreme distress was cried out in this way, the groups of Vanara wives held Angada's hands and started weeping. A little later, Devi Tara cried out hysterically and having kept her head down to Vaali's body and declared that she decides to practise 'aamarana niraahaara deeksha!'

Sarga Twenty One

<u>Hanuman seeks to assuage Devi Tara's extreme distress while the latter declared her intention of 'Sati Saha Gamana'</u>

Tato nipatitām tārām cyutām tārām ivāmbarāt, śanair āśvāsayām āsa hanūmān hariyūthapah/ guṇadoṣakṛtam jantuh svakarmaphalahetukam, avyagras tad avāpnoti sarvam pretya śubhāśubham/ śocyā śocasi kam śocyam dīnam dīnānukampase, kaś ca kasyānuśocyo 'sti dehe 'smin budbudopame/ angadas tu kumāro 'vam drastavyo jīvaputrayā, āvatyā ca vidheyāni samarthāny asva cintaya/ jānāsy aniyatām evam bhūtānām āgatim gatim, tasmāc chubham hi kartavyam pandite naihalaukikam/ yasmin harisahasrāni prayutāny arbudāni ca, vartayanti kṛtāmśāni so 'yam diṣṭāntam āgataḥ/ yad ayam nyāyadrstārthah sāmadānaksamāparah, gato dharmajitām bhūmim nainam śocitum arhasi sarve ca hariśārdūla putraś cāyam tavāngadah, haryṛskapatirājyam ca tvatsanātham anindite/ tāv imau śokasamtaptau śanaih preraya bhāmini, tvayā parigrhīto 'yam angadah śāstu medinīm/ samtatiś ca yathādrstā krtyam yac cāpi sāmpratam, rājñas tat kriyatām sarvam eşa kālasya niścayah/ samskāryo harirājas tu angadas cābhişicyatām, simhāsanagatam putram pasyantī sāntim eşyasi/ sā tasya vacanam śrutvā bhartrvyasanapīditā, abravīd uttaram tārā hanūmantam avasthitam/ angada pratirūpāṇām putrāṇām ekataḥ śatam, hatasyāpy asya vīrasya gātrasamśleṣaṇam varam/ na cāham harirājasya prabhavāmy angadasya vā, pitrvyastasya sugrīvah sarvakāryesv anantarah/ na hy esā buddhir āstheyā hanūmann angadam prati, pitā hi bandhuh putrasya na mātā harisattama/ na hi mama harirājasamśrayāt; kṣamataram asti paratra ceha vā, abhimukhahatavīrasevitam; śayanam idam mama sevitum ksamam/

As a Tara or Star fell down from the Sky to earth, Devi Tara too felt dazed ar her dearest husband's unexpected crash to earth, Hanuman gradually explained about the sudden situation as Vaali too crashed by Shri Rama's invincible arrow hit. He started saying: Devi! This heart rending situation ouccurs to every Being on earth as an inevitable consequence of own's own 'karma phala' which determings the jows any sorrows of existence. On reaching a planet other than the earth, peace would prevail wherafter another journey would restart. You are yourself susceptible or vulnerable, then why do you show your sympathy for others. You are heart broken now, but what indeed might occur to others and to you yourself too. You should be happy that you are blessed with Angada as your worthy son. You must therefore look after him well and put him firmly on the path of morality as that is the essence of nobility. Devi! you are well qualified and mature minded and you are surely aware of the nature's laws that what is born would perish too. And that is why the Scriptures keep exhorting that the balance should never tilt to the negative side if not preferably to the positive side. Births and deaths are indeterminate. But he who is born ought to die. Excessive crying and getting swept off back to the past would be futile although the memories get freshened right now but the process of reconcilation gets speeded up by time cycle. yasmin harisahasrāni prayutāny arbudāni ca, vartavanti krtāmsāni so 'vam distāntam āgatah/ vad avam nyāyadṛṣṭārthaḥ sāmadānakṣamāparaḥ, gato dharmajitām bhūmim nainam śocitum arhasi/ As you are well aware that hundreds, thousanda, and lakhs of Vaanaraas were born and perished, and so has the life time of Maha Veera Vaali's too gets terminated. The Neeti Shastra teaches us that 'Sadhana' or the ability to gain success is governed by the essential tenets of 'Saama- Daana-and Kshama' or Earnest exhortation- offeing attractions- and still in case of attempts and failures then the golden forbearance. As we still exist in a society of virtue and morality, if a Being ceases to exist from the life of dharma, then we should be contented with reconciallation than anguish and helplesness. Sati Saadhvi Devi!You continue to be venerated as the Supreme Head of the Vaanara Community, who ever be the Figure Head. Bhamini, both Angada and Sugriva are concerned about you and welfare. They should be the Present and Future Kings of Vaanaras. Now: samtatiś ca yathādrstā kṛtyam yac cāpi sāmpratam, rājñas tat kriyatām sarvam esa kālasya niścayah/ The 'takshana kartavyas' or our immediate duties are to perform the antyeshti samskara to the dying Vanara Chakravarti Vaali and Kumara Angada's 'Raja pattaabhisheka'. As Hanuman had concluded like wise, Devi Tara stood up and declared that of the two 'takshana kartavyas', my embracing the body of mutual death and Angada's ajyabhisheka, my assured preference is the former. na cāham harirājasya prabhavāmy angadasya vā, pitrvyastasya sugrīvah sarvakāryeşv anantarah/ na hy esā buddhir āstheyā hanūmann aṅgadam prati, pitā hi bandhuh putrasya na mātā harisattama/ I am neither the Maha Swamini of the Vaanaras nor Angada the next King. Sugriva indeed is the assuredly capable King and Hanuman! you should understand that the discretion about what follows Sugriva as the next king would entirely be of Sugriva himself! na hi mama harirājasamśrayāt; ksamataram asti paratra ceha yā, abhimukhahatayīraseyitam; śayanam idam mama seyitum ksamam/ As far as I am concerned, for me the immediate duty ought to be to embrace my dear husband to join the death bed of agni along with him.

Sarga Twenty Two

Vaali terminates his life after conveying his death bed wishes about Sugriva and Angada

Vīkṣamāṇas tu mandāsuḥ sarvato mandam ucchvasan,ādāv eva tu sugrīvam dadarśa tv ātmajāgrataḥ/
tam prāptavijayam vālī sugrīvam plavageśvaram, ābhāṣya vyaktayā vācā sasneham idam abravīt/
sugrīvadoṣeṇa na mām gantum arhasi kilbiṣāt, kṛṣyamāṇam bhaviṣyeṇa buddhimohena mām balāt/
yugapadvihitam tāta na manye sukham āvayoḥ, sauhārdam bhrātṛyuktam hi tad idam jātam anyathā/
pratipadya tvam adyaiva rājyam eṣām vanaukasām, mām apy adyaiva gacchantam viddhi
vaivasvatakṣayam/ jīvitam ca hi rājyam ca śriyam ca vipulām imām, prajahāmy eṣa vai tūrṇam mahac
cāgarhitam yaśaḥ/ asyām tv aham avasthāyām vīra vakṣyāmi yad vacaḥ, yady apy asukaram rājan
kartum eva tad arhasi/ sukhārham sukhasamvṛddham bālam enam abāliśam, bāṣpapūrṇamukham paśya
bhūmau patitam aṅgadam/ mama prāṇaiḥ priyataram putram putram ivaurasam, mayā hīnam
ahīnārtham sarvataḥ paripālaya/ tvam apy asya hi dātā ca paritrātā ca sarvataḥ, bhayeṣv abhayadaś
caiva yathāham plavageśvara/ eṣa tārātmajaḥ śrīmāms tvayā tulyaparākramaḥ, rakṣasām tu vadhe teṣām

agratas te bhavisyati/ anurūpāni karmāni vikramya balavān rane, karisyaty esa tāreyas tarasvī taruno 'ngadah/ susenaduhitā ceyam arthasūksmaviniścaye,autpātike ca vividhe sarvatah parinisthitā/yad esā sādhv iti brūyāt kāryam tan muktasamsayam, na hi tārāmatam kim cid anyathā parivartate/rāghavasya ca te kāryam kartavyam aviśankayā, syād adharmo hy akarane tvām ca himsyād vimānitah/ imām ca mālām ādhatsva divyām sugrīvakāñcanīm, udārā śrīh sthitā hy asvām samprajahyān mrte mayi/ ity evam uktah sugrīvo vālinā bhrātṛsauhṛdāt, harṣam tyaktvā punar dīno grahagrasta ivodurāt/ tad vālivacanāc chāntaḥ kurvan yuktam atandritaḥ, jagrāha so 'bhyanujñāto mālām tām caiva kāñcanīm/ tām mālām kāñcanīm dattvā vālī drstvātmajam sthitam, samsiddhah pretva bhāvāva snehād angadam abravīt/ deśakālau bhajasvādya ksamamānah priyāpriye, sukhaduhkhasahah kāle sugrīvavaśago bhava/ yathā hi tvam mahābāho lālitah satatam mayā, na tathā vartamānam tvām sugrīvo bahu mamsyate/māsyāmitrair gatam gaccher mā śatrubhir arimdama, bhartur arthaparo dāntah sugrīvavaśago bhava/ na cātipranayah kāryah kartavyo 'pranayaś ca te, ubhayam hi mahādosam tasmād antaradrg bhaya' ity uktvātha vivṛttākṣaḥ śarasampīdito bhṛśam, vivṛtair daśanair bhīmair babhūvotkrāntajīvitaḥ/ hate tu vīre plavagādhipe tadā; plavamgamās tatra na śarma lebhire, vanecarāh simhayute mahāvane; yathā hi gāvo nihate gavām patau/ tatas tu tārā vyasanārnava pļutā; mrtasvā bhartur vadanam samīksva sā, jagāma bhūmim parirabhya vālinam; mahādrumam chinnam ivāśritā latā/

Vaali's wounded body came to near collapse with his breathing started getting heavy although he recovered from black out unconsciousness. He glanced Sugriva standing before him. He whispered" ' Sugriva! Surely my sinfulness in previous birth led me to my hatred to you and you may please ignore it, if you could. Destiny did not allow our friendship and hence my contempt for you. We were not destined to be together and make merry of our lives as brothers and freinds. Now, I am leaving my yama loka and atleast now please accept the kingship. I am now leaving behind my life, kingdom, wealth and the left out fame. Veera! what ever I am able to say even at this parting moment, please follow it even difficult. My son had arrived on earth. Though he is a boy but not boyish and immature. His eyes are full of tears. He is well deserved and looks forward for a future. He is more vauable to me than my life. Please do consider him as your own son and let not the life ahead of him be bereft of contentment and fulfillment. tvam apy asya hi dātā ca paritrātā ca sarvataḥ, bhayeṣv abhayadaś caiva yathāham plavageśvara/ eṣa tārātmajaḥ śrīmāms tvavā tulvaparākramah, raksasām tu vadhe tesām agratas te bhavisvati/ anurūpāni karmāni vikramya balavān raņe, karişyaty eşa tāreyas tarasvī taruņo 'ngadaḥ/ Vaanaraaja! I beseech you to be Angada's pita-daata-rakshaka- and abhayaka or father-benevolent-refuge at all times. This bright son of Devi Tara is as valiant and disciplined as you are and should be among on the front line attackers against rakshasaas in battles. Tara the Sushena Putri is fully conversant of the nuances and gradations of Dharma. As such, her forebodings always come true. Most essentially Sugriva: what ever is the task entrusted to you by Ramachandra is of utmost priority as any dilly-dallying that duty should be suicidal. Finally, Sugriva! This divinely blessed garland of gold be worn by you ever as that is of 'Lakshmi Nivaasa' and as soon as I am lost its divinity too gets vanished.' As Vaali addressed Sugriva, the latter started crying genuinely. Vaali addressed Angada and explained: 'Try to act as per the situations and exigencies of times; as difficulties are faced, do act with descretion as per the ever rolling joys and difficulties neither with excessive elations nor extreme frustrations. Do develop the attitude of tolerance and follow the instructions of Sugriva. ity uktvātha vivrttākṣaḥ śarasampīḍito bhṛśam, vivṛtair daśanair bhīmair babhūvotkrāntajīvitah/ hate tu vīre plavagādhipe tadā; plavamgamās tatra na śarma lebhire, vanecarāh simhayute mahāvane; yathā hi gāvo nihate gavām patau/ Having uttered thes words in whispering tone, Maha Bali Vaali collapsed as the line of teeth drooped down his jaws with roving eye balls and the sacred bird called 'antaratma' flew off for ever leaving his mortal remains to earth. As Vaali left, the Vanara kingdom had become 'Shree Heena' or shorn of its glory, since the Vaanara Shreshtha had been ever dynamic and dazzlingly active who only performed memorable acts that had instally brought in name and fame. As this terrible tragedy had befallen to the Vaanara Kingdom suddenly and unexpectedly, the possible comparison was of a lion of fury and glory disappeared for ever.

Sarga Twenty Three

The unbearable distress of Tara Devi as Maha Bali King Vaali laid down his life finally

Tatah samupajighrantī kapirājasya tanmukham patim lokāc cyutam tārā mrtam vacanam abravīt/ śese tvam vişame duhkham akrtvā vacanam mama, upalopacite vīra suduhkhe vasudhātale/ mattah priyatarā nūnam vānarendra mahī tava, śeṣe hi tām pariṣvajya mām ca na pratibhāṣase/ sugrīva eva vikrānto vīra sāhasika priya, rkṣavānaramukhyās tvām balinam paryupāsate/ eṣām vilapitam krcchram aṅgadasya ca śocatah, mama cemām giram śrutvā kim tvam na pratibudhyase/idam tac chūraśayanam yatra śeṣe hato yudhi, śāyitā nihatā yatra tvayaiva ripavah purā/ viśuddhasattvābhijana priyayuddha mama priya, mām anāthām vihāyaikām gatas tvam asi mānada/sūrāya na pradātavyā kanyā khalu vipaścitā, śūrabhāryām hatām paśya sadyo mām vidhavām krtām/ avabhagnaś ca me māno bhagnā me śāśvatī gatih, agādhe ca nimagnāsmi vipule śokasāgare/ aśmasāramayam nūnam idam me hrdayam drdham, bhartāram nihatam dṛṣtvā yan nādya śatadhā gatam/ suhṛc caiva hi bhartā ca prakṛtyā ca mama priyah, āhave ca parākrāntaḥ śūraḥ pañcatvam āgataḥ/ patihīnā tu yā nārī kāmam bhavatu putriṇī, dhanadhānyaiḥ supūrņāpi vidhavety ucyate budhaih/ svagātraprabhave vīra śeṣe rudhiramaṇḍale, kṛmirāgaparistome tvam evam śayane yathā/ reņuśonitasamvītam gātram tava samantatah, parirabdhum na śaknomi bhujābhvām plavagarsabha/ krtakrtvo 'dva sugrīvo vaire 'sminn atidārune vasva rāmavimuktena hrtam ekeşunā bhayam/ śarena hṛdi lagnena gātrasamsparśane tava, vāryāmi tvām nirīkṣantī tvayi pañcatvam āgate/ udbabarha śaram nīlas tasya gātragatam tadā, girigahvarasamlīnam dīptam āśīviṣam yathā/ tasya niskṛṣyamānasya bānasya ca babhau dyutih, astamastakasamruddho raśmir dinakarād iva/ petuh ksatajadhārās tu vranebhyas tasya sarvaśah, tāmragairikasampṛktā dhārā iva dharādharāt/ avakīrnam vimārjantī bhartāram raṇareṇunā, asrair nayanajaih śūram siṣecāstrasamāhatam/ rudhirokṣita sarvāngam drstvā vinihatam patim, uvāca tārā pingākṣam putram angadam anganā/ avasthām paścimām paśya pituh putra sudāruṇām, samprasaktasya vairasya gato 'ntah pāpakarmaṇā/ bālasūryodayatanum prayāntam yamasādanam, abhivādaya rājānam pitaram putra mānadam/ evam uktaḥ samutthāya jagrāha caranau pituh, bhujābhyām pīnavṛtābhyām aṅgado 'ham iti bruvan/ abhivādayamānam tvām angadam tvam yathāpurā, dīrghāyur bhava putreti kimartham nābhibhāsase/ aham putrasahāyā tvām upāse gatacetanam, simhena nihatam sadyo gauh savatseva govrsam/ istvā samgrāmayajñena nānāpraharaṇāmbhasā, asminn avabhṛthe snātaḥ katham patnyā mayā vinā/ yā dattā devarājena tava tustena samvuge, śātakumbhamavīm mālām tām te paśvāmi neha kim/rājaśrīr na jahāti tvām gatāsum api mānada, sūryasvāvartamānasva śailarājam iva prabhā/ na me vacah pathvam idam tvavā krtam; na cāsmi śaktā hi nivāraņe tava, hatā saputrāsmi hatena samyuge; saha tvayā śrīr vijahāti mām iha/ity uktvātha vivrttāksah śarasampīdito bhrśam, vivrtair daśanair bhīmair babhūvotkrāntajīvitah/ hate tu vīre plavagādhipe tadā; plavamgamās tatra na śarma lebhire, vanecarāh simhayute mahāvane; yathā hi gāvo nihate gavām patau/

As Maha Vaanara Veera Vaali peacefully passed away, Devi Tara had a heart burst and addressed the body: 'Vaanara Raja! Why had you not given heed to my sincere and hand folded request not to rush to the battle! Indeed, this earth was far more attractive than me and have had to embrace her finally! Your daring desperation despite my warning of Shri Rama's active involvement with the proceedings had expectedly and inevitally led to this lack of timely discretion. It is surprising that my appeal of the ever invincible Shri Rama's presence never entered in your inner thoughts. Prana Naatha! The chiefs of the Bears community and of Vaanaras at your constant service are bewildered by the lack of your prudential and timely judgmement. Why are you now sleeping for ever to the desperations of Angada who was your own heart and soul! This 'veera shayya' or the famed bed of fallen heros in the past had been reserved by you always but now has now turned out you own resting place, alas! Decidedly indeed, the Kings of the yore were decisively selective of their Kanyas to Raja Kumaras to ensure that the latter Kamaras should make sure that their life patners would never get widowed. But Veera! you have failed me on that very count miserably. I have always been proud of being the undisputed Queen but now that flagship pride has now fallen into the depths of Shoka Samudra! Decidedly indeed, my heart is made of strong steel and that is how I am still alive despite the most untimely tragedy befallen on my Master's cruel end. patihīnā tu yā nārī kāmam bhavatu putrinī, dhanadhānyaih supūrnāpi vidhavety ucyate budhaih/ A woman in the absence of her husband, even if with a son or with 'dhana dhanya samriddhi' is defined still as a widow! Vaanara shreshtha! Your entire body is full of sand and filth with ozing blood and that is why am not

readily able to embrace you with both of my hands and shoulders. Actually the poisonous arrow that ripped your chest obstructs my eagerness to embrace you. In this memorable saga of Maha Bali Vaali's fall as a result of Shri Rama's single arrow of poison, Sugriva is the uncontested winner. As Vaali's body with a numberless punctures as pulled by himself by his powerful hands from his stomach, streams of blood flowed as if copperish streams flowed from mountan top like body of his.' Then Tara Devi addressed son Angada: Dear son! Are you seeing this most unfortunate and frightening scene of your father King due to his sinful defiance of the norms of virtue and thus he reached yama loka! Bend and touch his feet.' Then Angada got up and mumbled: sire! I am Angada your son for whon you were worried about!' Tara looked at the corpse and said: aham putrasahāyā tvām upāse gatacetanam, simhena nihatam sadyo gauḥ savatseva govṛṣam/ 'I am at your service now like a cow with a calf sitting before a 'vrishabha' as killed by a lion!' Vaanara Raja! with your exit now, Rajya Lakshmi too has deserted us much unlike Surya Deva could never stop revolving Meru Parvata! na me vacaḥ pathyam idam tvayā kṛtam; na cāsmi śaktā hi nivāraṇe tava, hatā saputrāsmi hatena samyuge; saha tvayā śrīr vijahāti mām iha/ Prana naadha! I tried a lot in detail with prostrations about your rash and hasty decision but failed and the outcome is this tragedy. I am lost now my path ahead along with my son too.

Sarga Twenty Four

Realising anguish of Tara Devi, Sugriva reacts severely and requests Shri Rama to allow him to die while Tara requests Rama to please kill her too! Rama seeks to assuage their disturbed conditions As Tara Devi was truly sunk in distress, Sugriva too was in deep sorrow and approached Shri Rama and stated: Narendra! You had indeed fulfilled your 'pratigina' and acted accordingly; as a consequence, you bestowed 'to me.'rajya laabha'. But there is an open and eruptive criticism against me, my character, selfishness and evil nature. As Raja Vaali passes away, his queen is truly agitated, giving vent to accusations and expressions about my villany and of Angada's fate in future. Due ti these obvious reasons, I have lost interest in my future Kingship.Raghu naadha! My brother tortured my for a long part of my life and that was why I appoached you to destroy him which you did. But, as a consequence of this act with the killing of Vaali, there has been an uproar and irreparable agony; as for me too, I do feel distressed as his is my respectable elder brother. Most probably, this pain in the hearts of all concerned would be everlasting. Shreyodya manya mama shailamkhye tasmin hiyaasaschiramrushyamooke, yathaa vartayatah svakrityaa nemam nihatya tridivasya laabhah/ Na tvaa jidhaamsaami chareti yanmaamayam Mahatmaa vachonurupamidam vachah karma cha menurupam/ Indeed, as per my 'vaanara buddhhi' as also my family background I do wish to live on the Rishyamooka mount and surroudings, but certainly not have my elder brother killed out of vengence and enjoy consequent kingship. As this has indeed happened so most unfortunately due to my own making, I am ashamed of myself now. Kingship or even heavenly pleasures should not be consequential. I recall with grief now that Buddhimaan Mahatma Vaali once reprimanted and even shouted at me: 'Get lost; I do not kill you, even if I can now!' But Rama! I am ashamed now of myself that my vengeful nature provoked me to beg you for killing him such a basically affectionate elder brother! Raghu nandana! Bhraataa katham naama mahaa gunasya bhraatru vadham Raama virochayet, Raajyasa duhkhasya cha veera saaram vichintayan kaamapuraskrutopi/ Could there be another worse example of selfishness to have an elder brother killed due to the meanest plan to have an him killed mercilessly for the sake of kingship! Indeed, Vaali never had the meanmindedness of killing me as he did have the consideration of his own status, dignity and morality. But it is my own mean mindedness and deliberate evil mindedness that I approached you to have him killed outright. I recall that Vaali when once in the course of a mutual fight, I was hurt by mutual hurling of tree branches the he had shouted at me merely saying: Get lost, neven dare to attack me' and left. He had truly displayed his essential nature, 'aarya bhaava, and dharma raksha' but I was motivated with kama-krodha-lobhamatsaraas and the typical 'chapala vaanara pravritti' or the monkey mindedness. Achintaneeyam parivarjaneeya maneepsaneeyam svanvekshaneeyam, praptosmi paapmaanamidam vayasya bhraatrurvadhaat tvaashtavadhaadivendrah/ Mitra Rama! I am totally responsible for the killing of my elder brother, which is not only unworthy but in fact sinful, ill justified and avoidable. This would smack of the example of Vritrasura being destroyed by Indra which attracted the sin of 'braahmana hatya'.

Indeed, Indras's sin of 'brahma hatya' permiated the entire earth, water, trees and woman was freely distributed but who could possibly absorb my sinfulness!

[Brief Vishleshana on Indras killing Vritrasura based on Devi Bhagayata amd Maha Bhagayata Puranas: Prajapati Visvakarma, the famed Architect of Devas, had a son named Trisira or the three headed Brahmana boy who used to practise ascetism with one head, drink wine with another and look around in all directions with the third. Being an ardent student of Vedas, he was always engaged in severe Tapasya, especially 'Panchagni Sadhana' hanging upside down a tree branch exposed to Summer Sun, winter cold and heavy rainy season without food conquering worldly desires. Being highly suspicious of the intentions of Trisira who might pose problem his own throne, Indra despatched Apsarasas to disturb Trisira's rigorous meditation but to no avail. Indra thus killed him even when he was in meditation, even as he knew that killing a pious Brahmana in meditation was the highest possible sin. Furious with Indra's dreadful deed, Visvakarma performed an inexorable Sacrifice by 'Abhichara' process (taking revenge) reciting Atharva Veda Mantras, created a mountain like and ferocious boy with the sole objective of killing Indra. The huge boy was named Vritra or who could save his father as Vrinjina. Visvakarma equipped him with all kinds of war tactics and divine armoury including a swift and sturdy Chariot, a 'Sudarshan' like Disc, and a'Trisula' like spear. As Vritra grew, Indra was getting nervous and approached Deva Guru to prevent any risk from the Demon. Brihaspati warned Indra that he should better be prepared for a Big Battle as the forebodings were not conducive. He advised that he along with Devas might request Dadhichi Maha Muni to spare his backbone which meant the Muni's sacrificing his life to serve a deva karya; Dadhichi obliged and Devata's architect Vishvakarma made a thunderbolt like 'vajraayudha' with the help of which Vrtrasura was killed]

Further Stanzas of the Sarga continued:

Nareshwara Rama! As I have committed an unpardonable sin, the 'sadaachara sadgunas' get decimated and more so the innocent Angada got shaken up brutally and far worse hit should be his dear mother Devi Taara. Adhyaangado veeravaro na jeevejjeeveta mataa parapaalanaartham, vinaa tu putramn paritaatadeenaa saa naiva jeevediti nishchitam me/ Even if Angada were possibly alive, his mother should be alive too to look after him; other wise, her desperation appears certain. Soham pravekshyaamyati deeptamaagnim bhraatraa cha putrena cha sakhyamicchhan, ime visheshyanti hripraveeraah Sitaam niveshe parivartamaanaah/ Krustram tu te setyati karyametan nyanyapyateete manujendra putra kulassyahantaaramajeevanaarham Raamaanujaaneehi kritaagasam maam/ Thus, I resolve to enter agni for the sake of my brother and his son, while the totality of Vaanara sena should assist you to recover Devi Sita. Having resolved likewise by Sugriva with repentance while his eyes overflowed with bursting tears, Shri Rama glanced Sugriva and Devi Tara alike; the latter was busy embracing the dead body of Vaali again and again. As though in response to Sugriva's remorseful 'paschaattaapa', Devi Tara stood up leaving her repeated embrace of the ded body, approached Shri Rama and said; 'Rahu nandana! You are truly immune from the frontiers of desha-kaala-vastus and it is impossible to assess your true image of the self. You are jitendriya and the human representation of virtue and justice. Even as you are the personification of 'kshama' or endurance, I find that your looks are some what reddened with haziness. Being ornamented with your 'dhanur baanaas', your 'paraakrama' is unparalleled. My sincere prayer to you is that you should please lift up your dhanush and release that very arrow with which you had hit my dear husband on me too so that I would reach him soon. Indeed Vaali's atma would not be contented without my company. 'Amala kamaladalalochana Rama!' Kindly note that in my confident view, Vaali's Soul would not be contented without my company as I am the rightful 'saha dharmachaarini' and thus he should ignore even 'apsarasaas' in the veera swarga without me. You may not have the concern of committing the 'stree hatya maha pataka' as I am myself praying to you to release his atma along with that of mine. And that should be free from the sinfulness on this account. Shastraprayogaad vividhaaschavedaaanya swarupaah purushasya daaraah, daara pradaanaadvi na daanamayant pradrushyate jnaanavataam hi loke/ As per shastras, 'Yagjna yaagaadi dharma karmas' are prescribed to the Karta along with his rightful wife as Shritis stress the fact of 'ardha naareeshvaratya'. It may be that killing other 'strees' is defined as stree hatya dosha', but thus Vedopanishads never distinguished Hence you should me immune from this 'dosha'. On the other hand, the view point of

jnaana purushas in the universe, 'stree daana' is stated among 'maha daanaas'! Therefore Veerashiromani Shri Rama! You should thus be appeciated and approved by your killing me to appeae the Atma of Vali by killing me.! Rama! I am an 'anaadha' being seperated from Vaali'.' As Tara invokes principles of dharma, Rama explains: Tam chaiva sarvam sukha duhkha yogam lokobraveet ten kritam Vidhaatraa, trayopi lokaa vihitam vidhaanam naatikramante vashagaa hi tasya/ Preetim paraam praapyasi taam tathaiva, putraschate praapsyati youvaraajyam, Dhaatraa vidhaanamn vihitam tathaiva na shura patnyah paridevayanti/ Vidhaata prescribes sukha duhkhaas in the universe as this is assurted by common public too. None of the Trilokas could ever infringe this fact of their existence as that Supeme Force is all abiding. Devi! you should regain your erstwhile supremacy as your son should be the yuvaraja now.' As Rama asserted thus, the agitated Tara Devi cooled down pacified and so did Sugriva too!

Sarga Twenty Five

Rama Lakshmanas pacify Sugriva, Tara, and Angada- Vaali's 'dahana samskara/ jalaanjali' by Angada Gatāsum vālinam dṛṣṭvā rāghavas tadanantaram, abravīt praśritam vākyam sugrīvam śatrutāpanaḥ/na śokaparitāpena śreyasā yujyate mṛtaḥ, yad atrānantaram kāryam tat samādhātum arhatha/ lokavṛttam anustheyam krtam vo bāspamoksanam, na kālād uttaram kim cit karma śakyam upāsitum/ niyatah kāraṇam loke niyatiḥ karmasādhanam, niyatiḥ sarvabhūtānām niyogeṣv iha kāraṇam/ na kartā kasya cit kaś cin niyoge cāpi neśvarah, svabhāve vartate lokas tasya kālaḥ parāyaṇam/ na kālaḥ kālam atyeti na kālah parihīyate, svabhāvam vā samāsādya na kaś cid ativartate/ na kālasyāsti bandhutvam na hetur na parākramah, na mitrajñātisambandhah kāranam nātmano vaśah/ kim tu kāla parīnāmo drastavyah sādhu paśyatā, dharmaś cārthaś ca kāmaś ca kālakramasamāhitāh/ itaḥ svām prakṛtim vālī gataḥ prāptah kriyāphalam, dharmārthakāmasamyogaiḥ pavitram plavageśvara/ svadharmasya ca samyogāj jitas tena mahātmanā, svargaļi parigrhītas ca prānān apariraksatā/esā vai niyatiļi sresthā yām gato hariyūthapaļi, tad alam paritāpena prāptakālam upāsyatām/ vacanānte tu rāmasya laksmanah paravīrahā, avadat praśritam vākyam sugrīvam gatacetasam/kuru tvam asya sugrīva pretakāryam anantaram, tārāṅgadābhyāṁ sahito vālino dahanaṁ prati/ samājñāpaya kāsthāni śuskāni ca bahūni ca, candanāni ca divyāni vālisamskārakāranāt/ samāśvāsaya cainam tvam angadam dīnacetasam, mā bhūr bāliśabuddhis tvam tvadadhīnam idam puram/ angadas tv ānayen mālyam vastrāni vividhāni ca, ghṛtam tailam atho gandhān vac cātra samanantaram/ tvam tāra śibikām śīghram ādāvāgaccha sambhramāt, tvarā gunavatī vuktā hy asmin kāle višesatah/ sajjībhavantu plavagāh šibikāvāhanocitāh, samarthā balinaš caiva nirharişyanti vālinam/ evam uktvā tu sugrīvam sumitrānandavardhanah, tasthau bhrātṛsamīpastho laksmanah paravīrahā/ laksmanasya vacah śrutvā tārah sambhrāntamānasah, praviveśa guhām śīghram śibikāsaktamānasah/ ādāya śibikām tārah sa tu paryāpayat punah, vānarair uhyamānām tām śūrair udvahanocitaih/ tato vālinam udvamya sugrīvah śibikām tadā, āropayata vikrośann angadena sahaiva tu/ āropya śibikām caiva vālinam gatajīvitam, alamkārais ca vividhair mālyair vastrais ca bhūsitam/ ājñāpayat tadā rājā sugrīvah plavageśvarah, aurdhvadehikam āryasya kriyatām anurūpatah/ viśrānayanto ratnāni vividhāni bahūni ca, agratah plavagā yāntu śibikā tadanantaram/ rājñām rddhiviśeṣā hi drśyante bhuvi yādrśāḥ, tādrśaṁ vālinaḥ kṣipraṁ prākurvann aurdhvadehikam/ aṅgadam aprigrhyāśu tāraprabhrtavas tathā, krośantah prayayuh sarve vānarā hatabāndhayāh/ tārāprabhrtayah sarvā vānaryo hatavūthapāh, anujagmur hi bhartāram krośantvah karunasvanāh/ tāsām ruditaśabdena vānarīṇām vanāntare, vanāni girayaḥ sarve vikrośantīva sarvataḥ/ puline girinadyās tu vivikte jalasamvrte, citām cakruh subahavo vānarā vanacārinah/ avaropya tatah skandhāc chibikām vahanocitāh, tasthur ekāntam āśritya sarve śokasamanvitāh/ tatas tārā patim drstvā śibikātalaśāyinam, āropyānke śiras tasya vilalāpa suduhkhitā/ janam ca paśyasīmam tyam kasmāc chokābhipīditam, prahrstam iva te vaktram gatāsor api mānada, astārkasamavarņam ca laksvate jīvato yathā/ eşa tvām rāmarūpeņa kālaḥ karṣati vānara, yena sma vidhavāḥ sarvāḥ kṛtā ekeṣuṇā raṇe/ imās tās tava rājendravānaryo vallabhāḥ sadā, pādair vikṛṣṭam adhvānam āgatāḥ kim na budhyase/ taveṣṭā nanu nāmaitā bhāryāś candranibhānanāḥ, idānīm neksase kasmāt sugrīvam plavageśvaram/ ete hi sacivā rājams tāraprabhṛtayas tava, puravāsijanaś cāyam parivāryāsate 'nagha/ visarjayainān pravalān vathocitam arimdama, tatah krīdāmahe sarvā vanesu madirotkatāh/ evam vilapatīm tārām patiśokapariplutām, utthāpayanti sma tadā vānaryah śokakarśitāh/ sugrīvena tatah sārdham angadah pitaram rudan, citām āropayām āsa śokenābhihatendriyah/ tato 'gnim vidhiyad dattyā so 'pasayyam

cakāra ha, pitaram dīrgham adhvānam prasthitam vyākulendriyaḥ/ samskrtya vālinam te tu vidhipūrvam plavamgamāḥ, ājagmur udakam kartum nadīm śītajalām śubhām/ tatas te sahitās tatra angadam sthāpya cāgrataḥ, sugrīvatārāsahitāḥ siṣicur vāline jalam/ sugrīveṇaiva dīnena dīno bhūtvā mahābalaḥ, samānaśokaḥ kākutsthaḥ pretakāryāṇy akārayat/

Along with Lakshmana, Sri Rama alleviated the feelings of Sugriva-Tara -Angadas and made them realise the futility of dirges any further but take up the kartavya of 'dahana samskara' as prescribed. They remided them to assume the duty as soon as possible. They said that 'niyati' or timeliness was indeed the reason for action. The world is regulated by the limits of timeliness and that is overriding the mind and conciousness. Kaalamaana has no relevance to friendship or enmity, jaati-mata bhedas and even the karana swarupa of Almighty is disabled to transgress its limitations. Dhanardha kaama mokshas too are to be abided by it. Vaanara Raja Vaali after his death had since taken the 'shuddha atma swarupa' which is the fall out of the Principles of Battle of Saama -Daana- Bheda- Dandaas as provided in the Neeti Shastra. Mahatma Vaali who by his fortune became the hero and of kingship but by the twist of destiny had fallen and attained veera swarga. Now to lament over this happening, any amount of further heard breaking is unworthy of 'kartavya' or dutifulness. Having so exhorted, Lakshmana addressed in the presence of Shri Rama: kuru tvam asya sugrīva pretakāryam anantaram, tārāṅgadābhyāṁ sahito vālino dahanam prati/ samājñāpaya kāṣṭhāni śuṣkāṇi ca bahūni ca, candanāni ca divyāni vālisamskārakāraṇāt/ kuru tvam asya sugrīva pretakāryam anantaram, tārāngadābhyām sahito vālino dahanam prati/ samājñāpaya kāsthāni śuskāni ca bahūni ca, candanāni ca divyāni vālisamskārakāranāt/ Sugriva! Now you bring Andada anf Tara for the dahana samskara and the related preta karyas..Direct your intimate followers the apply chandana to the body; let Angada's courage be applied, cease to cry and be ready for the 'kartavya'; he should wear a flower garland, appropriate deeksha 'vastras' and fetch ghee, oil, suajandha dravyas and related materaials and carry them by himself. Tara! you may please arrange a 'paalki' by which you should be accompanied by your 'sakhis' and present your self with attractive dress and 'aabhushanaas' as at this time you should look your best for the occasion. The paalki be carried by strong male vaanaras upto the 'smashana'.' As Lakshmana directed thus, Tara hurried to a cave named 'Kishkindha' with her companions to get ready and side by side strong vaanaras fetched a palki too with well decorated flower. Then Rama signalled that the body be carried suitably to the smashana along with Angada ahead followd by Sugriva and let the preta karya be initiated. Along with the body and the paalki, the full strength of Vaanara Veeraas and their women cried out by pounding theit chests shouting 'haa veera, haa veera. By the side of the flows of River Tungabhadra down the mountain was arranged the place for the 'preta samskaara'. Amidst the 'ha ha karas' by Tara, Angada, Sugriva, and the Mantris, and the Vaanara Sena, the dahana samskara was concluded by Angada who along with his uncle Sugriva, while the exhasusted Tara Devi fell unconscios and was able to recover only at the time of Jalanjali. tatas te sahitās tatra angadam sthāpya cāgratah, sugrīvatārāsahitāh sisicur vāline jalam/ sugrīvenaiva dīnena dīno bhūtvā mahābalaḥ, samānaśokaḥ kākutsthaḥ pretakāryāṇy akārayat/ Then with Angada ahead, Devi Tara and other relevant Vanaras conducted jala tarpanas too and thus Rama Lakshmanas guided them all step by step.

[Vishleshana on Dahana samskara for human beings is vividly explained vide Sarga Seventy Six of Essence of Valmiki Ayodhya Ramayana:

'You the Pretaatma' as enclosed with the 'kavacha' or the shield of Agni Deva who is merely turning only your body parts to ashes but not your true self whish indeed is everlasting. Hence Agni is merely clearing the mess of your body! Agni Deva! you may consume the deadbody along with his heart, pancha koshas or Five Sheaths of the body called Annamaya (Physical Energy), Praanamaya (Vital Energy), Manomaya (Mental Faculty), Vigyanamaya (Buddhi or Sharpness of Discrimination) and Ananda maya (Bliss) only but thereafter kindly despatch the 'Jeevatma'- Inner Being- safely to the Loka of His forefathers the Pitru Loka. Agni Deva, when you render the jeevatma fully rid of the memories of the erstwhile life, then That becomes rendered fit with a fresh form subject to the will of Devas. Preta swarupa! Let your vision see Surya Deva, your breath to Vayu Deva! As per your destiny and the fund of your 'sukrita phala', you may reach swarga, or back to earth or waters. In case you are destined to return as vegetation, then you shall do precisely the same swarupa once again. - Rig Veda 10-16.-3. Referring to

the stanza: Suryam chakshurgacchatu vaatamaatmaa, dyocha gaccha prithiveem cha dharmanaa, apo vaa gaccha yaditram te hitam, oushadheeshu pratrim tishthaa shareereeh/ as explained, Chhandogya Upanishad 5.10.6 explains: Abhram bhutwaa megho bhavati megho bhutwaa pravarshati taiha veehiyavaa oshadhivanaspatyah tila-maasha iti jaayant, ato vai khalu durnispra pataram, yo yohyannam atti yo retaah sinchati, tad bhuya eva bhavati/(In the further travel of the Soul from white clouds to thick black clouds to rains, the same is born as paddy, barley, herbs, sesmum, black pulses and so on. Now, the release of the concerned paddy or pulse is also destined as per the time of its release from the shell to kernel; similarly the cycle of food intake from an insect to a bird or to a reptile to an animal or human being is destined likewise). The next stanzas 6.1.22 -23: Ajobhaaga stapasa tam tapasva-- and Ayam vai tvamsmaadabhi/ are as addressed to Jaataveda: 'Agni Deva! having burnt off the body totally, may the physical aspects of the human being been burnt off totally, may the subtle body as the Jeevatma be carried to the wide world of the Devas of virtue]

Sarga Twenty Six

<u>Hanuman requests Rama Lakshmanas to witness Rajyaabhishakas of Sugriya and Angada, Rama assents</u> the celebrations but not by entering Kishkindha as the celebrations conclude.

Tataḥ śokābhisamtaptam sugrīvam klinnavāsanam, śākhāmṛgamahāmātrāḥ parivāryopatasthire/ abhigamya mahābāhum rāmam aklistakāriņam, sthitāh prāñjalayah sarve pitāmaham ivarşayah/ tatah kāñcanaśailābhas tarunārkanibhānanah, abravīt prāñjalir vākyam hanumān mārutātmajah/ bhavatprasādāt sugrīvah pitrpaitāmaham mahat, vānarānām sudusprāpam prāpto rājyam idam prabho/ bhavatā samanujñātah praviśya nagaram śubham, samvidhāsyati kāryāni sarvāni sasuhṛjjanah/ snāto 'yam vividhair gandhair auşadhaiś ca yathāvidhi, arcayişyati ratnaiś ca mālyaiś ca tvām viśeṣataḥ/ imām giriguhām ramyām abhigantum ito 'rhasi, kuruṣva svāmi sambandham vānarān sampraharṣayan/ evam ukto hanumatā rāghavah paravīrahā, pratyuvāca hanūmantam buddhimān vākyakovidah/ caturdaśa samāh saumya grāmam vā yadi vā puram, na praveksyāmi hanuman pitur nirdesapālakah/ susamṛddhām guhām divyām sugrīvo vānararsabhah, pravisto vidhivad vīrah ksipram rājye 'bhisicyatām/ evam uktvā hanūmantam rāmah sugrīvam abravīt, imam apy angadam vīra yauvarājye 'bhisecaya/ pūrvo 'yam vārşiko māsaḥ śrāvaṇaḥ salilāgamaḥ, pravṛttāḥ saumya catvāro māsā vārşikasamjñitāḥ/ nāyam udvogasamayah praviśa tvam purīm śubhām, asmin vatsvāmv aham saumva parvate sahalaksmanah/ iyam giriguhā ramvā višālā vuktamārutā, prabhūtasalilā saumva prabhūtakamalotpalā/kārtike samanuprāpte tvam rāvaņavadhe yata, eṣa naḥ samayaḥ saumya praviśa tvam svam ālayam, abhisiñcasva rājye ca suhrdah sampraharsaya/ iti rāmābhyanujñātah sugrīvo vānararsabhah, praviveśa purīm ramyām kiskindhām vālipālitām/ tam vānarasahasrāni pravistam vānareśvaram, abhivādya prahrstāni sarvatah parvavārayan/ tatah prakrtayah sarvā drstvā hariganeśvaram, pranamya mūrdhnā patitā vasudhāyām samāhitāh/ sugrīvah prakṛtīh sarvāh sambhāsyotthāpya vīryavān, bhrātur antaḥpuram saumyam praviveśa mahābalaḥ/ praviśya tv abhiniṣkrāntam sugrīvam vānararṣabham, abhyaşiñcanta suhrdah sahasrākşam ivāmarāh/ tasya pānduram ājahruś chatram hemapariskṛtam, śukle ca bālavyajane hemadande yaśaskare/ tathā sarvāṇi ratnāni sarvabījauṣadhāni ca, sakṣīrāṇām ca vrksānām prarohān kusumāni ca/ śuklāni caiva vastrāni śvetam caivānulepanam, sugandhīni ca mālyāni sthalajāny ambujāni ca/candanāni ca divyāni gandhāms ca vividhān bahūn, aksatam jātarūpam ca priyangumadhusarpiṣī/dadhicarma ca vaiyāghram vārāhī cāpy upānahau, samālambhanam ādāya rocanām samanahšilām, ājagmus tatra muditā varāh kanyās tu sodaša/ tatas te vānarašrestham yathākālam yathāvidhi, ratnair vastraiś ca bhaksyaiś ca tosayitvā dvijarsabhān/ tatah kuśaparistīrnam samiddham jātavedasam, mantrapūtena havisā hutvā mantravido janāh/ tato hemapratisthāne varāstaraņasamvrte, prāsādasikhare ramye citramālyopasobhite/ prānmukham vividhair mantraih sthāpayitvā varāsane, nadīnadebhyaḥ samhrtya tīrthebhyaś ca samantataḥ/ āhrtya ca samudrebhyaḥ sarvebhyo vānararşabhāh, apah kanakakumbhesu nidhāya vimalāh śubhāh/ śubhair vṛṣabhaśṛṅgaiś ca kalaśaiś cāpi kāñcanaiḥ, śāstradṛṣṭena vidhinā maharṣivihitena ca/ gajo gavākṣo gavayaḥ śarabho gandhamādanah, maindaś ca dvividaś caiva hanūmāñ jāmbavān nalah/ abhyasiñcanta sugrīvam prasannena sugandhinā, salilena sahasrāksam vasavo vāsavam vathā/ abhisikte tu sugrīve sarve vānarapumgavāḥ, pracukruśur mahātmāno hṛṣṭās tatra sahasraśaḥ rāmasya tu vacaḥ kurvan sugrīvo haripumgayah, angadam samparisyajya yauvarājye 'bhisecayat/ angade cābhisikte tu sānukrośāh

plavamgamāḥ, sādhu sādhv iti sugrīvam mahātmāno 'bhyapūjayan/ hṛṣṭapuṣṭajanākīrṇā patākādhvajaśobhitā, babhūva nagarī ramyā kṣikindhā girigahvare/ nivedya rāmāya tadā mahātmane; mahābhiṣekam kapivāhinīpatiḥ, rumām ca bhāryām pratilabhya vīryavān; avāpa rājyam tridaśādhipo vathā/

Pradhana Vaanara Veeras headed by Hanuman approached Shri Rama just as Maharshi ganaas to Brahma Deva, as Hanuman submitted to Rama that by the latter's courtesy, Sugriva had since accomplished the Vanara Samrajya and to personally grace the celebration of the Rajyabhisheka of Sugriva. Then Shri Rama replied: caturdaśa -samāḥ saumya grāmam vā yadi vā puram, na pravekṣyāmi hanuman pitur nirdeśapālakaḥ/ susamṛddhām guhām divyām sugrīvo vānararṣabhaḥ, praviṣṭo vidhivad vīraḥ kṣipram rājye 'bhisicyatām/ Soumya Hanuman! As per the directive of my father King Dasharatha, I am to observe that for fourteen years I ought to be on 'aranya vaasa' and hence would not be either enter the capital of Kishkindha nor participate in the celebrations. But may Sugriva be blessed to receive the honours in the ample space of the cave as nominated and let the rajyabhisheka be celebrated as per the prescribed procedure. Then Rama further stated that as Kumara Angada was mature enough with 'sadaachaara and paraakramaa' too, he be made the Yuva Raja and his yuvarajyaabhisheka too be celebrated simultaneously'. He then addressed Sugriva: 'My dear friend Sugriva, your knowledge and experience of life is uncommon. Kumara Angada is certainly deserving the status of becoming the Yuva raja, especially as he is the son of your elder brother.' Sri Rama continued to address Sugriva! Now the season of 'Varshas' has arrived and for four more months there caanot be any activity. Shravana Maasa varshas have since begun. Threfore you may stay back in your beautiful Kishkindhaa pura itself and relax. Along with Lakshmana I shall stay in the mountain caves which are breezy and comfortable.' As Rama Lakshmanas bid good bye to Sugriva and the followers, the Rajyaabhishaka Celebrations got in progress. Even earlier, the arrangements of the celebrations were well initiated: gold laced white silk umbrellas, plethora of fragrant flowers, white silk robes for males and females, sweet odours all over, akshatas, golden jewellery, plentiful honey, ghee, vyaghra charma seatings, high value footwear, were in place and sixteen vaanara sundaris approached Sugriva. As bhakshya-bhojya- lehya- chosha- paaneeyas were offered plentifully to the visitors, Brahmanas initiated the mantra puraka havisyannas were offered to homaagni jwaalaas ad Sugriva's rajyabhisheka was celebrated, as followed br Angada's yuva rajyabhisheka too. Then Vanara Swami Sugriva accompanied by Angada approached Rama Lakshmanas with the homa-and abhisheka prasadaas and prostrated seeking their blessings and retired back/

Sarga Twenty Seven

'Paraspara Sambhashana' or mutual discussions by Rama Lakshmanas at the comfortable Cave of Prasravana Giri

Abhisikte tu sugrīve praviste vānare guhām,ājagāma saha bhrātrā rāmah prasravanam girim/ śārdūlamṛgasamghuṣṭam simhair bhīmaravair vṛtam, nānāgulmalatāgūḍham bahupādapasamkulam/ rkşavānaragopucchair mārjāraiś ca nişevitam, megharāśinibham śailam nityam śucijalāśrayam/ tasya śailasya śikhare mahatīm āyatām guhām, pratyagrhņata vāsārtham rāmaḥ saumitriņā saha/ avasat tatra dharmātmā rāghayah sahalaksmanah, bahudrśyadarīkuñje tasmin prasrayane girau/ susukhe 'pi bahudravve tasmin hi dharanīdhare, vasatas tasva rāmasva ratir alpāpi nābhavat, hrtām hi bhārvām smarataḥ prāṇebhyo 'pi garīyasīm/udayābhyuditam dṛṣṭvā śaśānkam ca viśeṣataḥ/ āviveśa na tam nidrā niśāsu śayanam gatam, tat samutthena śokena bāspopahatacetasam/ tam śocamānam kākutstham nityam śokaparāyanam, tulyaduhkho 'bravīd bhrātā laksmano 'nunayan vacah/ alam vīra vyathām gatvā na tvam śocitum arhasi, śocato hy avasīdanti sarvārthā viditam hi te/bhavān kriyāparo loke bhavān devaparāyaṇaḥ, āstiko dharmaśīlaś ca vyavasāyī ca rāghava/ na hy avyavasitaḥ śatrum rākṣasam tam viśesataḥ, samarthas tvam rane hantum vikramair jihmakārinam/ samunmūlaya śokam tvam vyavasāyam sthiram kuru, tatah saparivāram tam nirmūlam kuru rākṣasam/ pṛthivīm api kākutstha sasāgara vanācalām, parivartayitum śaktaḥ kim anga puna rāvaṇam/ aham tu khalu te vīrvam prasuptam pratibodhaye, dīptair āhutibhih kāle bhasmac channam ivānalam/ laksmanasya tu tad vākyam pratipūjya hitam śubham, rāghavah suhrdam snigdham idam vacanam abravīt/ vācyam yad anuraktena snigdhena ca hitena ca, satyavikrama yuktena tad uktam lakşmana tvayā/ eşa śokaḥ parityaktah sarvakāryāva sādakah, vikramesv apratihatam tejah protsāhavāmv aham saratkālam pratīkse 'ham iyam prāvrd

upasthitā, tataḥ sarāṣṭraṁ sagaṇaṁ rākṣasaṁ taṁ nihanmy aham/ tasya tadvacanaṁ śrutvā hṛṣṭo rāmasya lakṣmaṇaḥ, punar evābravīd vākyaṁ saumitrir mitranandanaḥ/ etat te sadṛśaṁ vākyam uktaṁ śatrunibarhaṇa, idānīm asi kākutstha prakṛtiṁ svām upāgataḥ/ vijñāya hy ātmano vīryaṁ tathyaṁ bhavitum arhasi, etat sadṛśam uktaṁ te śrutasyābhijanasya ca/ tasmāt puruṣaśārdūla cintayañ śatrunigraham, varṣārātram anuprāptam atikrāmaya rāghava/ niyamya kopaṁ pratipālyatāṁ śarat; kṣamasva māsāṁś caturo mayā saha, vasācale 'smin mṛgarājasevite, saṁvardhayañ śatruvadhe samudyataḥ/

As the celebrations of Rajyabhishakas concluded, Rama Lakshmanas reached a mountain cave of the Prastravana mountain cave surrounded by several animals like shardulas, langurs, and so on with strange sounds. Their essential objective and motivation was to seek and secure Devi Sita but for the onset of the rainy season. Miunwhile, they need to experience the beauty of the surroundings, the cool breeze, the variety of trees round like sinduvaara-shireesha-kadamba-arjuna especially on the approaches to the river Tungabhadra.

[Vishleshana on Tungabhadra:

The Tungabhadra River is formed by the confluence of two rivers named Tunga and Bhadra on the slopes of Western Ghats. As the demon Hiranyaaksha sought to sink Bhumi down to Patala, the entire Universe came to stand still when 'Dishas' (Directions), 'Grahas' (Planets), and Celestial Beings got stuck excepting Tri-Murthis, Bhu Devi and Brahma appealed to Bhagavan Vishnu to uplift Her as She was sinking under deep Ocean and to save the Universe. In reply to the 'Stutis' by Bhu Devi, Maha Vishnu assured that as a result of Her Bhakti (devotion) He would lift Her up along with mountains, forests, Samudra, Rivers, Seven Dwipas and all the rest; He assumed a collosal manifestation of six thousand yojanas of height, three thousand yojanas of width and one thousand yojanas of Varaha Swarupa; He liberated Prithvi by His left 'damshtra' (Jaw) along with the totality of mountains, forests, Sapta Dwipas and their contents including Oceans and Rivers all in tact!' The legend further states that Varaha Swami afer killing the demon took rest by sitting on the present day Varaha Parvata peak. When He sat on that Peak, his sweat over flowed from his scalp and flowed and became Tunga River and that which flowed from his right side became Bhadra River. After emerging from the source the Bhadra river flows through Kudremukh mountain region and Tunga River flows through Sringeri near Shimoga, till they join at Koodli, at an elevation of about 15 km from there. There is a popular saying 'Tunga Paana, Ganga Snana', or drink Tunga River water, which is tasty and sweet and take bath in Ganges River, which is holy. There are many religous places all along the rivers: primarily the temples of Saiva Cult on the banks of the Bhadra and all the cults on the banks of the Tunga. Sringeri, Sarada Petham established by the Adi Shankaracharya is the most famous one on the left bank of the Tunga, about 50 km. downstream of its origin. Mantralayam's Raghavendra Swamy Muth is at Alanmpur in Kurnool District of Andhra Pradesh.]

Stanzas 17 onward: Rama asks Lakshmana! Look at the natural beauty on the banks of Tungabhadra with a wonderful wealth of chandana-tilaka-saala-tamaala- atimuktika-padmaka-sarala- ashokas. Further, the variety of trees encompasses timida-vakula-ketaka-himtaala-tinisha- neepa- sthalaventa and so on as the river banks present a gorgeous view of a 'shringaara yuvati' adorned with a variety of jewellery. Then there are lotuses, variety of chirrupping groups of birds. Lakshmana! Have you not heard the musical notes of mridangas, vaanara geetaas, and other musical notes from kishkindha which is not far from here! Surely, Sugriva and followers are immersed in celebrations of dance and music. Despite the excitement around with glorious views and celebrations, Rama was unable to sleep peacefully. As Rama was shedding tears with the memories of Deevi Sita and lost in memories, Lakshmana said: Reaspected brother! Of which avail your tears these, as Veera Purushas tend to dilute their strong resolves for action. On the face of earth, even Devas consider you as an ideal purusha, dharmatma, and hero. na hy avyavasitah satrum rākṣasam tam viseṣatah, samarthas tvam raṇe hantum vikramair jihmakāriṇam/ samunmūlaya sokam tvam vyavasāyam sthiram kuru, tatah saparivāram tam nirmūlam kuru rāksasam/ pṛthivīm api kākutstha sasāgara vanācalām, parivartayitum śaktah kim anga puna rāvanam/ If you get overcome and overwhelmed by this kind of grief like an ordinary human being, what meaning and definition would it be for idealism and strong conviction! Raghu nandana! Do uproot this very root of

grief and get ready for action with resolve. Indeed you can uplift prithvi and if need, you could create.universal havoc. How easy and a child play for you to lift up and destroy Ravana and his parivar! śaratkālam pratīkṣe 'ham iyam prāvṛd upasthitā, tataḥ sarāṣṭram sagaṇam rākṣasam tam nihanmy aham/ This is varshaa kaala and let us await for the 'sharad ritu' and then devastate the vey memory of Ravana for ever!' Then Rama replied: Lakshmana! You have truly advised me as an adviser, friend, wellwisher and above all as a truthful 'Maha Veera'. Now see! I would get rid of the habit of crying. I should now seek to await Sharad Kaala and enthuse Sugriva to mobilise his forces and till then be patient and keep company of the mountain top lions to witness how they tend to pounce on animals!

Sarga Twenty Eight

Shri Rama describes to Lakshmana about the features of Varsha Ritu

Sa tadā vālinam hatvā sugrīvam abhisicya ca, vasan mālyavatah pṛste rāmo laksmanam abravīt/ ayam sa kālah samprāptah samayo 'dya jalāgamah, sampaśya tvam nabho meghaih samvṛtam girisamnibhaih/ nava māsa dhṛtam garbham bhāskārasya gabhastibhih, pītvā rasam samudrāṇām dyauh prasūte rasāyanam/ śakyam ambaram āruhya meghasopānapanktibhiḥ, kuṭajārjunamālābhir alamkartum divākaram/ saṃdhyārāgotthitais tāmrair antesv adhikapānduraih, snigdhair abhrapatacchadair baddhavranam ivāmbaram/ mandamārutaniḥśvāsam samdhyācandanarañjitam, āpāndujaladam bhāti kāmāturam ivāmbaram/ eṣā dharmaparikliṣṭā navavāripariplutā, sīteva śokasamtaptā mahī bāṣpam vimuñcati/ meghodaravinirmuktāh kahlārasukhaśītalāh,śakyam añjalibhih pātum vātāh ketakigandhinah/ esa phullārjunah śailah ketakair adhivāsitah, sugrīva iva śāntārir dhārābhir abhisicyate/ meghakṛsnājina dharā dhārāyajñopavītinaḥ, mārutāpūritaguhāh prādhītā iva parvatāḥ/kaśābhir iva haimībhir vidyudbhir iva tāḍitam, antaḥstanitanirghoṣam savedanam ivāmbaram/ nīlameghāśritā vidyut sphurantī pratibhāti me, sphurantī rāvaṇasyānke vaidehīva tapasvinī/ imās tā manmathavatām hitāḥ pratihatā diśah, anuliptā iva ghanair nastagrahaniśākarāh/kva cid bāspābhisamruddhān varsāgamasamutsukān, kutajān pasya saumitre pustitān girisānusu, mama sokābhibhūtasya kāmasamdīpanān sthitān/rajah praśāntam sahimo 'dya vāyur; nidāghadosaprasarāh praśāntāh, sthitā hi vātrā vasudhādhipānām; pravāsino yānti narāh svadeśān/ samprasthitā mānasavāsalubdhāh; priyānvitāh samprati cakravākah, abhīkṣṇavarṣodakavikṣateṣu; yānāni mārgeṣu na sampatanti/ kva cit prakāśaṁ kva cid aprakāśaṁ; nabhah prakīrnāmbudharam vibhāti, kva cit kva cit parvatasamniruddham; rūpam vathā śāntamahārnavasya/ vyāmiśritam sarjakadambapuspair; navam jalam parvatadhātutāmram, mayūrakekābhir anuprayātam; śailāpagāḥ śīghrataram vahanti/rasākulam ṣaṭpadasamnikāśam; prabhujyate jambuphalam prakāmam, anekavarnam pavanāvadhūtam; bhūmau pataty āmraphalam vipakvam/ vidyutpatākāh sabalāka mālāh; śailendrakūtākrtisamnikāśāh, garjanti meghāh samudīrnanādā; mattagajendrā iva samyugasthah/ meghābhikāmī parisampatantī; sammoditā bhāti balākapanktih, vātāvadhūtā varapaundarīkī; lambeva mālā racitāmbarasya/ nidrā śanaih keśavam abhyupaiti; drutam nadī sāgaram abhyupaiti, hṛṣṭā balākā ghanam abhyupaiti; kāntā sakāmā priyam abhyupaiti/ jātā vanāntāḥ śikhisupranṛttā; jātāḥ kadambāḥ sakadambaśākhāḥ/ jātā vṛṣā goṣu samānakāmā; jātā mahī sasyavanābhirāmā/ vahanti varsanti nadanti bhānti; dhyāyanti nrtyanti samāśvasanti, nadyo ghanā mattagajā vanāntāh; privāvinīhāh śikhinah plavamgāh/ praharsitāh ketakapuşpagandham; āghrāya hṛṣṭā vananirjhareṣu, prapāta śabdākulitā gajendrāḥ; sārdham mayūraiḥ samadā nadanti/dhārānipātair abhihanyamānāḥ; kadambaśākhāsu vilambamānāḥ, kṣaṇārjitam pusparasāvagādham; śanair madam satcaranās tyajanti/ aṅgāracūrnotkarasamnikāśaih; phalaih suparyāpta rasaih samrddhaih, jambūdrumānām pravibhānti śākhā; nilīyamānā iva satpadaughaih/ taditpatākābhir alamkṛtānām; udīrnagambhīramahāravānām, vibhānti rūpāni balāhakānām; ranodyatānām iva vāranānām/ mārgānugah śailavanānusārī; samprasthito megharavam niśamya, yuddhābhikāmaḥ pratināgaśaṅkī; matto gajendraḥ pratisaṁnivṛttaḥ/ muktāsakāśaṁ salilaṁ patad vai; sunirmalam patraputeşu lagnam, hrstā vivarnacchadanā vihamgāh; surendradattam trsitāh pibanti/ nīleşu nīlā navavāripūrņā; megheşu meghāh pravibhānti saktāh, davāgnidagdheşu davāgnidagdhāh; śailesu śailā iva baddhamūlāh/ mattā gajendrā muditā gavendrā; vanesu viśrāntatarā mṛgendrāh, ramyā nagendrā nibhrtā nagendrāh; prakrīdito vāridharaih surendrah vṛttā vātrā narendrānām senā pratinivartate, vairāṇi caiva mārgāś ca salilena samīkṛtāḥ/ māsi prauṣṭhapade brahma brāhmaṇānām vivaksatām, avam adhyāvasamavah sāmagānām upasthitah/nivrttakarmāvatano nūnam

samcitasamcayah, āṣāḍhīm abhyupagato bharataḥ koṣakādhipaḥ/ nūnam āpūryamāṇāyāḥ sarayvā vadhate rayaḥ, mām samīkṣya samāyāntam ayodhyāyā iva svanaḥ/ imāḥ sphītaguṇā varṣāḥ sugrīvaḥ sukham aśnute, vijitāriḥ sadāraś ca rājye mahati ca sthitaḥ/ aham tu hrtadāraś ca rājyāc ca mahataś cyutaḥ, nadīkūlam iva klinnam avasīdāmi lakṣmaṇa/ śokaś ca mama vistīrṇo varṣāś ca bhrśadurgamāḥ, rāvaṇaś ca mahāñ śatrur apāram pratibhāti me/ ayātrām caiva drṣṭvemām mārgāmś ca bhrśadurgamān, praṇate caiva sugrīve na mayā kim cid īritam/ api cātiparikliṣṭam cirād dāraiḥ samāgatam, ātmakārya - garīyastvād vaktum necchāmi vānaram/ svayam eva hi viśramya jñātvā kālam upāgatam, upakāram ca sugrīvo vetsyate nātra samśayaḥ/ tasmāt kālapratīkṣo 'ham sthito 'smi śubhalakṣaṇa sugrīvasya nadīnām ca prasādam anupālayan/ upakāreṇa vīro hi pratikāreṇa yujyate, akrtajño 'pratikrto hanti sattvavatām manaḥ/ athaivam uktaḥ praṇidhāya lakṣmaṇaḥ; krtāñjalis tat pratipūjya bhāṣitam, uvāca rāmam svabhirāma darśanam; pradarśayan darśanam ātmanaḥ śubham/ yathoktam etat tava sarvam īpsitam; narendra kartā nacirād dharīśvaraḥ, śaratpratīkṣaḥ kṣamatām imam bhavāñ; jalaprapātam ripunigrahe dhrtaḥ/

Shri Rama having been fortified by Lakshmana's boost up to his morale and kindled the fire of anger on Ravanasura and his extraordinary skills of battle and never failing bravery and moral courage, initiated the stop gap time of 'varsha ritu season' and its excellence. He addresses Lakshmana as follows: ' Sumitra nandana! This varsha kaala ushers mountainous black clouds om the aakaasha mandali. This illustrious woman of youth called 'aakaasha' attracts the juices like deep waters of Samudras with the assistance of the powerful Surya Kiranas and through the 'kaartika' and onward nine months provides juices like rains before the birth of a child called 'samvatsara'! At thus time, the megha rupi sky decorates Surya Deva with garlands of giri mallika and arjuna pushpas like lightnings! Soft winds in the form of our breathings are then comparable to a 'megha rupi' or of the form of lustful woman being the sky approaches the Samudra Deva then! Devi Prithvi literally roasted up with the cruel and ruthless Surya Deva all through the Greeshma Ritu would then heave a sigh of relief thanks to her sister Aakasha now as being a pregnant woman releases children in the form of rains. meghakrsnājina dharā dhārā vajñopavītinah, mārutāpūritaguhāh prādhītā iva parvatāh/ kaśābhir iva haimībhir vidyudbhir iva tāditam, antahstanitanirghoṣam savedanam ivāmbaram/ nīlameghāśritā vidyut sphurantī pratibhāti me, sphurantī rāvanasvānke vaidehīva tapasvinī/ As the rainy season in progress, the 'mehga rupi' black clouds resemble 'mriga charma' of a brahmachaari and the varsha dhaaraas or the pourings of torrential rains resemble his 'yagjopaveeta' as they practice 'vedaadhyayana' with the rush of winds filled in by the cave like heart of his during the 'adhyanana'. Further, the lightnings on the sky appear like goldlike flies as of they are like the 'aarta naadaas' from the sky mother emanated from the 'megha garjanas'. The lightnings originating from the blue clouds are perhaps like the heaves of Devi Sita's heart at the intolerable and irritating dialogues of Ravanasura as he approaches him with marriage proposals.! As the thick clouds get collected on the sky, all the entities like 'graha-nakshatra-chandramas' would disappear, even as the distinction of east-west-south-north directions disappear too; perhaps this situation is quite helpful to lovers in their embraces. kva cit prakāśam kva cid aprakāśam; nabhaḥ prakīrṇāmbudharam vibhāti, kva cit kva cit parvatasamniruddham; rūpam vathā śāntamahārnavasva/ Lakshmana! The entire sky is replete with clouds all over and due to that reason the sky is not visible, nor any out burst of the sky even. This is like when the ocean with the big sounds of waves get quiet even as the garland of mountains around the ocean seems to be hidden from the view of humas and other Beings! At this time, the rivers flowing down the mountains are running fast with fresh arrival rains. The waters thus rushing down are a mixture of fresh and earlier flows like of distinct colours. The mountain waters are now surfiet with freash 'dhaatus' or mineral, even as peacocks are excited with the heralding of fresh arrival of the monsoon season. Lakshmana! Have you noticed that by mid day, the forests like fresh, especially with the abundance of green grass all around like the 'nutana nrityotsava' or a novel dance gets initiated. Do you notice the long line of goats seek to catch up the 'aakaasha garjanaas' far up by climbing the mountain peaks and are waiting restfufully! Even the minute sized 'indragopaas' or the sparkling grass hoppers are dancing away with gay abandon with parrot like colours. vahanti varsanti nadanti bhānti; dhyāyanti nṛtyanti samāśvasanti, nadyo ghanā mattagajā vanāntāḥ; priyāvinīhāḥ śikhinaḥ plavaṃgāḥ/ praharṣitāḥ ketakapuspagandham; āghrāva hrstā vananirjharesu, prapāta sabdākulitā gajendrāh; sārdham mavūraih

samadā nadanti/ As the rivers are flowing in full swings, the clouds are pouring thick yet fresh rains, the 'Mattebha yukta' elephants are roaming free and fast, the forest areas are in glory with greenery, the lovers are fulfilling their lust while the singletons are crazy for companionship, the peacocks are shrieking repeatedly, the Vanaras are elated with excitement! Madavarshi Gaja Rajaas are screaming loud with reverberations by lifting their trunks repeatedly as groups of peacocks flapping their colourful wings wide are dancing in symphony. Kvachit prageetaa iva shatpadoudhaih, kvachit pramatta iva vaaranendrair vibhaanttyanekaashriyano vanaantaah/ Sometimes, bhramaraas or groups of honey sucking bees are singing, some where peaacocks are dancing and somewhere else huge elephants seem to get intoxicated and move hither and thither and thus the mother Nature assumes varied impulses! mattā gajendrā muditā gavendrā; vanesu viśrāntatarā mrgendrāh, ramyā nagendrā nibhrtā nagendrāh; prakrīdito vāridharaih surendrah/ vṛttā yātrā narendrānām senā pratinivartate, vairāni caiva mārgāś ca salilena samīkṛtāh/ māsi prausthapade brahma brāhmanānām vivaksatām, ayam adhyāyasamayah sāmagānām upasthitah/As 'Gajendra' or the Elephant King gets intoxicated by constant pourings of rains, 'Gavendra' or the Vrishaba Raja is full of happiness, 'Mrigendra' or the King of Lions shows off its valour, 'Nagendra' the King of mountains looks revelled, but 'Narendras' or Kings of humans are queit in the rainy season! The Yuddha Yatras of Kings are halted for good, the 'sena' is resting and that is the pronounced impact of the rainy season. Our situation is just in this very manner. Koshala desha Raja Bharata had stalled his preparatory activitities for a battle by four months and collected the weapons and related yuddha saamagri till Ashaadha Purnima. imāh sphītagunā varsāh sugrīvah sukham aśnute, vijitāriḥ sadāraś ca rājye mahati ca sthitaḥ/ aham tu hṛtadāraś ca rājyāc ca mahataś cyutaḥ,nadīkūlam iva klinnam avasīdāmi laksmaņa/ śokaś ca mama vistīrņo varsās ca bhṛṣʿadurgamāḥ, rāvaṇas ca mahāñ satrur apāram pratibhāti me/ This rainy season indeed has multifacetted features. At this very time Sugriva had defeated his opponent, got comfortably installed as King and now enjoying his life with his wife. But, alas, Lakshmana! I had lost my kingship, and my wife had been kidnapped and as such landed in neck deep waters of undesirable tormentations. My sorrow is getting intolerable day by day and now this unfortunate coincidence of the rainy season. Mean while my worst possible enemy is getting more and more intolerable. It is one thing that this is just not the time for a battle run and by far the worse is that the reach to Lanka is unimaginably difficult by having to cross the ocean. More so, Sugriva has had insurmountable hardships life long and nly the other day is breathing peacefully just now. On the other hand, my expectations are exceedingly limitless as the solution is a challenge even to celestials. Even so, Lakshmana! I am truly shackled with utmost patience only due to the utmost helpful, truthful and trasparent nature of Sugriva and this waiting with my mouth shut and hands tied up'. As Shri Rama thus poured his heart out likewise, Lakshmana expressed his self confidence that Sugriva would and should do the needful and meawhile the end of varsha kaala and the heralding of Sharad kaala ought to be awaited with utmost patience and self restraint!

[Vishleshana on Shat Ritus or Six Seasons from Taittiriya Arankaya

Ritus or Seasons approximately coincide with Chaitra-Vaishakha or end March to the last weeks of May when festivals like Ugadi, Shri Rama Navami, and Vaishakhi are celebrated. Greeshma Ritu or Summer during April-July during Jyeshtha-Ashadha when festivals like Ratha Yatra and Guru Purnima are observed and Dakshinayana or the Solar downtrend commences. Varsha Ritu or monsoon coincides with Shravana-Bhadrapadas or the last portions of July-September when Mangala Gauri and Vara Lakshmi Vratas, Raksha Bandhan, Krishna Ashtami, Ganesh Chaturthi and Onam are celebrated. Sharad Ritu or Autumn Season coinciding with Ashvin-Kartika months extending portions of September to November being mild weather the famed Sharannava Ratris and Depaavali are celebrated. Hemanta Ritu or prewinter Season coinciding with Margaseersha and the last days of November-January, the festivals of Vasanta Panchami, Shiva Ratri and Holi are observed; and finally Shishira Ritu or winter coinciding with Maagha-Phalguna months during the last quarter of January to March is the time of Vasanta Panchami, Shiva Ratri and Holi. The Chandra maana procedure varies in the sense that the cycle of Seasons starts from the first day of Chaitra commencing from Ugadi.

[The following chart provides the details: Ritu/ Season- Lunar Month - Months - Weather

Vasanta or Spring during Chaitra - Vaishakha or Feb 18- April 20 with temperature of 20-30 C Greeshma or Summer of Jyeshtha- Ashadha April 21-June 21 with temperature of 30-50 C Varsha or Monsoon of Shravana-Bhadrapada or June 22-Aug 23 with hot-humid-rains Sharat or Autumn of Ashvijuja-Kartika or Aug 24- Oct 23 mild temperature. Hemanta or Pre-winter coinciding with Margashira-Pushya- Oct 24- Dec 21 with pleasant- cold weather Shishira or winter during Maagha-Phalguna - Dec 22-Feb 17 Moderate Cold;10C+/-Vasanta Season is dominated by Vasu Devatasas instructed by Savitu as at the beginning of the Samvatsara and heralding colours, dresses, flowers and freshness all around and with plentiful water and Nature. The Spring season beckons relatives and friends to home with good food and gifts. In Greeshma the summer season scorches earth with heat asking for light dresses in white as Rudra and his gana devats dominate and prepares earth for Parjany and rains ushering diseases like cold, jaundice and so on. Yet, this is when crops are abundant and fruits in variety are aplenty. All the same rains the future of food supplies for the year hence calls for ploughing, planning and hard work. Sharat provides clean eyes and good vision even as divine artisans with the grace of Ribhu Devatas initiate planning, innovations, creations and caliber, aspirations and contented living. Sharat season heralds good eating, wearing god dresses and enjoyments. Marut Devas then follow creating mixed blessings; on one hand they create harsh and mighty winds seeking destruction and damages and on the other hard realities of life with obstructions in efforts yet unusual and unxpected fruits of hard work alike work never performed. Variety is the spice of Life in the Sharat Season! Hemant calls for vigilance, either initiating a struggle ahead or a caution and forewarning for preparedness and thus of introspection .Shishra Ritu arrives with lightnings, rains, smugness of Nature around besides that of individuals too. The blessing of ample rains could also calls for uncertainities. As Agni Deva calls for plentiful waters to heighten living conditions of Beings, uncertainties too prevail as natural calamities thus creating a touch-and-go situation. The Mighty Marut Devas are worshipped for overcoming impediments and create opportuninies for happiness] Sarga Twenty Nine

Hanuman prevails on Sugriva to initiate action for Sitaanveshana even before Rama's reminder to do so and instruct Neela Vaanara to assemble the Vanara soldiers to group together

Samīksva vimalam vyoma gatavidvudbalāhakam, sārasāravasamghustam ramvajvotsnānulepanam/ samrddhārtham ca sugrīvam mandadharmārthasamgraham, atvartham asatām mārgam ekāntagatamānasam/ nivṛttakāryam siddhārtham pramadābhiratam sadā, prāptavant/am abhipretān sarvān eva manorathān/ svām ca pātnīm abhipretām tārām cāpi samīpsitām, viharantam ahorātram kṛtārtham vigatajvalam/ krīḍantam iva deveśam nandane 'psarasām gaṇaiḥ, mantriṣu nyastakāryam ca mantrinām anaveksakam/ utsannarājyasamdeśam kāmavrttam avasthitam, niścitārtho 'rthatattvajñah kāladharmaviśesavit/ prasādya vākyair madhurair hetumadbhir manoramaih, vākyavid vākyatattvajñam harīśam mārutātmajah/ hitam tathyam ca pathyam ca sāmadharmārthanītimat, praṇayaprītisamyuktam viśvāsakṛtaniścayam, harīśvaram upāgamya hanumān vākyam abravīt/ rājyam prāptam yaśaś caiva kaulī śrīr abhivarthitā, mitrāṇām samgrahaḥ śeṣas tad bhavān kartum arhati/ yo hi mitreṣu kālajñaḥ satatam sādhu vartate, tasva rājvam ca kīrtiś ca pratāpaś cābhivardhate/ vasva kośaś ca dandaś ca mitrāny ātmā ca bhūmipa, samayetāni sarvāni sa rājyam mahad asnute/ tad bhayān yrttasampannah sthitah pathi niratyaye, mitrārtham abhinītārtham yathāvat kartum arhati/ yas tu kālavyatīteṣu mitrakāryeṣu vartate, sa kṛtvā mahato 'py arthān na mitrārthena yujyate/ kriyatām rāghavasyaitad vaidehyāh parimārganam, tad idam vīra kāryam te kālātītam arimdama/ na ca kālam atītam te nivedayati kālavit, tvaramāno 'pi san prājñas tava rājan vaśānugah/ kulasya ketuh sphītasya dīrghabandhuś ca rāghavah/ aprameyaprabhāvaś ca svayam cāpratimo guṇaih/ tasya tvam kuru vai kāryam pūrvam tena kṛtam tava, harīśvara hariśresthān ājñāpayitum arhasi/ na hi tāvad bhavet kālo vyatītaś codanād rte, coditasya hi kāryasya bhavet kālavyatikramah/ akartur api kāryasya bhavān kartā harīśvara, kim punah pratikartus te rājyena ca dhanena ca/śaktimān asi vikrānto vānararṣka gaṇeśvara, kartum dāśaratheḥ prītim ājñāyām kim nu sajjase/kāmam khalu śarair śaktah surāsuramahoragān, vase dāsarathih kartum tvatpratijñām tu kānksate/ prānatyāgāviśankena kṛtam tena tava priyam, tasya mārgāma vaidehīm pṛthivyām api cāmbare/ na devā na ca gandharvā nāsurā na marudgaṇāḥ, na ca yakṣā bhayaṁ tasya kuryuḥ kim uta rāksasāh/ tad evam śaktivuktasya pūryam privakrtas tathā, rāmasyārhasi pingeśa kartum sarvātmanā

priyam/ nādhastād avanau nāpsu gatir nopari cāmbare, kasya cit sajjate 'smākam kapīśvara tavājñayā' tad ājñāpaya kah kim te krte vasatu kutra cit, harayo hy apradhrsyās te santi kotyagrato 'nagha/ tasya tadvacanam śrutvā kāle sādhuniveditam, sugrīvah sattvasampannaś cakāra matim uttamām/ sa samdideśābhimatam nīlam nityakrtodyamam, dikṣu sarvāsu sarveṣām sainyānām upasamgrahe/ yathā senā samagrā me vūthapālāś ca sarvaśah, samāgacchanty asamgena senāgrāni tathā kuru/ ve tv antapālāh plavagāh śīghragā vyavasāyinah, samānayantu te sainyam tvaritāh śāsanān mama, svayam cānantaram sainyam bhavān evānupaśyatu/ tripañcarātrād ūrdhvam yaḥ prāpnuyān neha vānaraḥ, tasya prānāntiko dando nātra kāryā vicāranā./ harīms ca vrddhān upavātu sāngado; bhavān mamājñām adhikrtya niścitām, iti vyavasthām haripumgaveśvaro; vidhāya veśma praviveśa vīryavā/ Pavankumara Hanuman was an erudite scholar of established principles of Dharma Jnaana as also of convincing capability objectively. Having noticed that the skies were clear and the rainy season had retreated, he realised that he had long enough marital contentment in the company of his wife Ruma, besides Tara too.Like Devendra who often indulged in playfulness with Gandharva kanyas and Apsarasaas, Sugriva too spent long enough varasha kaala in fulfillment, having entrusted royal duties to his ministers, especially since the kingdom had no issues of external attacks or internal revolutions. Thus Hanuman approached King Sugriva, conversed with him about the niceties of life and initiated: King Sugriva! Now you are happy to secure the Kingship and name being able to preseve and even enhance the traditional prosperity of the kingdom. yo hi mitresu kālajñah satatam sādhu vartate, tasva rājyam ca kīrtiś ca pratāpaś cābhivardhate/ yasya kośaś ca dandaś ca mitrāny ātmā ca bhūmipa, samavetāni sarvāṇi sa rājyam mahad aśnute/ tad bhavān vṛttasampannaḥ sthitaḥ pathi niratyaye, mitrārtham abhinītārtham yathāyat kartum arhati/ When the thought as to when 'pratyupakaara' or return help has to be fulfilled then one's reputation, credibility, and good name would be ensured. Raja! if only a king's treasury, army, goodwill and frienship, besides one's own good health are in tact, then the fulfillment of kingship gets stabilised. Happily you are a repositary of 'sadaachaara' and of traditional values; as you had taken the vow of friendship, it is now time to repay it. You are aware that procrastination in repayment would necessarily leads to disasters. kriyatām rāghavasyaitad vaidehyāh parimārganam, tad idam vīra kāryam te kālātītam arimdama/ na ca kālam atītam te nivedayati kālavit, tvaramāno 'pi san prājñas tava rājan vaśānugah/ Bhagavan Shri Rama is our outstanding friend; it is high time that the most essential task of 'Devi Sitaanveshana' be initiated straightaway; Shri Rama is fully aware of the need fot timely action which is to be neessarily initiated by you only. na hi tāvad bhavet kālo vyatītaś codanād rte, coditasya hi kāryasya bhavet kālavyatikramah/ akartur api kāryasya bhavān kartā harīśvara, kim punah pratikartus te rājyena ca dhanena ca/ Even well before Shri Rama would need to remind you, the 'kartavya' be initiated, lest there might not be a feeling of tardiness. Swami Sugrva! You are the over all master of Vaanaraas and Bears; please there fore call for a quick assembly of them all. Undoubtedly indeed, Shri Rama's intrepidity is well known as he has had the record of controlling asuras, maha naagaass and even Devas. But a task of this nature might be useful of supplementary backup, especially since you had taken a 'pratigina' to assist. Shri Rama had successfully subdued and desrtroyed your swor enemy Vaali and facilitated your unchallenged kingship, is this not time now to secure Sita Devi from bhutala or swarga! King Sugriva! You have the unchallenged status of comaanding crores of Vanaraas but you have only give your green signal to them. Towards this, You have only to instruct Maha Veera Neela to arrange for the grouping together of the unique 'Vaanara Sena and their Senapatis.' Then King Sugriva instructed to the maha seva of vaanaraas: tripañcarātrād ūrdhvam yah prāpnuyān neha vānarah, tasya prānāntiko dando nātra kāryā vicāranā./ harīms ca vrddhān upayātu sāngado; bhavān mamājñām adhikṛtya niścitām/ Those Vanaras who donot assemble under the leadership of Angada would be punished for sure'. So saying King Sugriva returned to his 'Mahal'.

Sarga Thirty

Sharad Ritu Varnana- Shri Rama instructs Lakshmana to reach King Sugriva

Guhām praviṣṭe sugrīve vimukte gagane ghanaiḥ, varṣarātroṣito rāmaḥ kāmaśokābhipīḍitaḥ/ pāṇḍuram gaganam dṛṣṭvā vimalam candramaṇḍalam, śāradīm rajanīm caiva dṛṣṭvā jyotsnānulepanām/ kāmavṛttam ca sugrīvam naṣṭām ca janakātmajām, buddhvā kālam atītam ca mumoha paramāturaḥ/ sa tu saṃjñām upāgamya muhūrtān matimān punaḥ, manaḥsthām api vaidehīm cintayām āsa rāghavaḥ/

āsīnah parvatasyāgre hemadhātuvibhūsite, śāradam gaganam drstva jagāma manasā priyām/ drstvā ca vimalam vyoma gatavidyudbalāhakam, sārasāravasamghustam vilalāpārtayā girā/ sārasāravasamnādaih sārasāravanādinī, yāśrame ramate bālā sādya me ramate katham/ puṣpitāṁś cāsanān drṣṭvā kāñcanān iva nirmalān, katham sa ramate bālā paśyantī mām apaśyatī/ yā purā kalahamsānām svarena kalabhāsinī, budhvate cārusarvāngī sādva me budhvate katham/ nihsvanam cakravākānām niśamva sahacāriņām, puņdarīkaviśālākṣī katham eṣā bhaviṣyati/ sarāṁsi sarito vāpīh kānanāni vanāni ca, tāṁ vinā mṛgaśāvākṣīm caran nādya sukham labhe/ api tām madviyogāc ca saukumāryāc ca bhāminīm, na dūram pīdavet kāmah saradgunanirantarah/ evamādi narasrestho vilalāpa nrpātmajah, vihamga iva sāraṅgah salilaṁ tridaśeśvarāt/ tataś cañcūrya ramyesu phalārthī girisānusu, dadarśa paryupāvrtto laksmīvāmil laksmano 'grajam/ tam cintayā duhsahayā parītam; visamijnam ekam vijane manasvī, bhrātur visādāt paritāpadīnah; samīksva saumitrir uvāca rāmam/ kim ārva kāmasva vaśamgatena; kim ātmapaurusyaparābhavena, ayam sadā samhriyate samādhih; kim atra yogena nivartitena/ kriyābhiyogam manasah prasādam; samādhiyogānugatam ca kālam, sahāyasāmarthyam adīnasattva; svakarmahetum ca kuruşva hetum/ na jānakī mānavavamsanātha; tvayā sanāthā sulabhā parena, na cāgnicūdām įvalitām upetya; na dahvate vīravarārha kaś cit/ salaksmanam laksmanam apradhrsvam; svabhāvajam vākyam uvāca rāmaḥ, hitam ca pathyam ca nayaprasaktam; sasāmadharmārthasamāhitam ca/ niḥsamśayam kāryam avekṣitavyam; kriyāviśeṣo hy anuvartitavyaḥ, nanu pravṛttasya durāsadasya; kumārakāryasya phalam na cintyam/ atha padmapalāśāksīm maithilīm anucintayan, uvāca laksmanam rāmo mukhena pariśusyatā/ tarpayitvā sahasrāksah salilena vasumdharām, nirvartayitvā sasyāni kṛtakarmā vyavasthitah/ snigdhagambhīranirghoṣāḥ śailadrumapurogamāḥ visṛjya salilam meghāḥ pariśrāntā nṛpātmaja/ nīlotpaladalaśyāmaḥ śyāmīkṛtvā diśo daśa, vimadā iva mātangāḥ śāntavegāḥ payodharāḥ/ jalagarbhā mahāvegāḥ kuṭajārjunagandhinaḥ, caritvā viratāḥ saumya vṛṣṭivātāḥ samudyatāh/ ghanānām vāranānām ca mayūrānām ca laksmana, nādah prasravanānām ca praśāntah sahasānagha/ abhivṛstā mahāmeghair nirmalāś citrasānavah, anuliptā ivābhānti girayaś candraraśmibhih/ darśayanti śarannadyah pulināni śanaih śanaih, navasamgamasavrīdā jaghanānīva vositah/ prasannasalilāh saumya kurarībhir vināditāh, cakravākaganākīrnā vibhānti salilāśayāh/ anyonyabaddhavairāṇām jigīṣūṇām nṛpātmaja, udyogasamayaḥ saumya pārthivānām upasthitah/iyam sā prathamā vātrā pārthivānām nrpātmaja, na ca paśvāmi sugrīvam udvogam vā tathāvidham/ catvāro vārsikā māsā gatā varsasatopamāh, mama sokābhitaptasva saumva sītām apasvatah/ Priyaa viheene duḥkhārte hṛtarājye vivāsite, kṛpām na kurute rājā sugrīvo mayi lakṣmaṇa/ anātho hṛtarājyo 'yam rāvanena ca dharsitah, dīno dūragrhah kāmī mām caiva śaranam gatah/ ity etaih kāranaih saumya sugrīvasya durātmanaḥ, aham vānararājasya paribhūtaḥ paramtapa/ sa kālam parisamkhyāya sītāyāḥ parimārgane, krtārthah samayam krtvā durmatir nāvabudhyate/ tvam praviśya ca kiskindhām brūhi vānarapumgavam, mūrkham grāmya sukhe saktam sugrīvam vacanān mama/ arthinām upapannānām pūrvam cāpy upakāriņām, āśām samśrutya yo hanti sa loke puruṣādhamaḥ/ śubham vā yadi vā pāpam yo hi vākyam udīritam, satyena parigrhņāti sa vīrah purusottamaļ/ kṛtārthā hy akṛtārthānām mitrāṇām na bhavanti ye, tān mṛtān api kravyādaḥ kṛtaghnān nopabhuñjate/ nūnam kāncanapṛṣṭhasya vikṛṣṭasya mayā rane, drastum icchanti cāpasya rūpam vidyudganopamam/ ghoram įvātalanirghosam kruddhasya mama samyuge, nirghoṣam iva vajrasya punaḥ samśrotum icchati/ kāmam evam gate 'py asva parijñāte parākrame, tvatsahāyasya me vīra na cintā syān nṛpātmaja/ yadartham ayam ārambhaḥ kṛtaḥ parapuramjaya, samayam nābhijānāti krtārthah plavageśvarah/varsāsamayakālam tu pratijñāya harīśvaraḥ, vyatītāms caturo māsān viharan nāvabudhyate/ sāmātyapariṣat krīḍan pānam evopasevate, śokadīnesu nāsmāsu sugrīvah kurute dayām/ ucyatāṁ gaccha sugrīvas tvayā vatsa mahābala, mama roşasya yadrūpam brūyāś cainam idam vacah/ na ca samkucitah panthā yena vālī hato gatah, samaye tiṣṭha sugrīvamā vālipatham anvagāḥ/ eka eva raṇe vālī śareṇa nihato mayā., tvām tu satyād atikrāntam hanişyāmi sabāndhavam/ tad evam vihite kārye yad dhitam puruşarşabha, tat tad brūhi naraśreṣṭha tvara kālavyatikramaḥ/kuruṣva satyam mayi vānareśvara; pratiśrutam dharmam avekṣya śāśvatam, mā vālinam pretya gato yamaksayam; tvam adya paśyer mama coditaih śaraih/ sa pūrvajam tīvravivrddhakopam; lālapyamānam prasamīksya dīnam, cakāra tīvrām matim ugratejā; harīśvaramānavavamsanāthah/

As Sugriva instructed the Vanara Seva thus, Shri Rama realised that the Varsha season had finally concluded by looking at the clear sky and got troubled by Sita Viyoga. He got concerned whether Sugriva had revived the thoughts of 'Sitaanveshana', Ravana Vadha and so on. Seated as he was on mountain top alone, he kept on experiencing his Sita viyoga and recalled his memories of such clear skies along with her. He recalled his experiences of how Sita used to mimic koels, recall the sounds of 'kalahamsas' and her imitations, the sounds of rivers and water flows, the scenes of lotus ponds, her musical and resonant voice tones, and the desire provocations of Sharad nights, the moon shine and the touch and feel of soft winds and so on. His memories about Sita, the long seperation of her, their togetherness of admiring views of parvata shrenis, the titillating sensations of her intimate company had literally drowned in his recalls of sweet memories. As Rama was drowned deep in his memories about Sita, Lakshmana saw Rama having lost in his thought syndrome. He said: 'kim ārya kāmasya vaśamgatena; kim ātmapaurusya -parābhavena, ayam sadā samhriyate samādhih; kim atra yogena nivartitena/ Arya Rama! Of which avail in day dreaming with memories, instead of fortifying your will power and sharpening the action plans. This type of shameful brooding blunts away the capacity of resolution. Brother! Let us resolve to fortify our concentration but never fritter it away by loose thoughts and irrelevant recall of do-nothing thoughts.' Rama then addressed: Kumara Lakshmana! What you have suggested is not only relevant for the present, but delightful for the future; yet one's emotions do keep pulling back which is a human tendency. Most certainly, all our efforts should to be aimed at the singular task ahead us all yet the action plan does fortify by the intensity of emotions as only that person who happens to be the afffected party! Kumara! The cause and effect reasoning reminds of the chatur vishya purusharthas of desire and effort!' Having stated this, Rama felt retrospective again about the magnificent times that he ever had in the company of Sita. Then describing the welcome change that Varsha season was over and the hopes and anticipations of Sharad Ritu are getting sprouted again as the initial rays of Surya Deva herald new aspirations, new actions, and new end results. Shri Rama who was literally got frustated with the damage done to his plans of action all through the varsha Ritu, now welcomes the usherings of Sharad Ritu bestowing the splendid opportunity for effective and practial action plan and breaks into the praising the the heralding of the Sharad! Sumitra nandana! The thousand eyed Indra Deva having fully saturared the wishes of Prithvi with plentiful waters and excellnt crops is happily contended now. The reverberating 'megha garjanas' hovering all over the mountains, trees, cities and villages had since saturated with rains and are now queitened, Now the clouds of thick black colours and since changed their colors blueish with dragging white patches and are quietened. Now the gardens are replete with fresh and scented flowers. The heavy sounds of clouds, elephants and dancing peacocks are far and few between. With the ushering of the Sharad Season, the shine of the sky glitters with cleanliness during day time by Surva and in the nights by Moon and Stars. Now among the features of Sharad Ritu, Devi Lakshmi in the form of prosperity and wealth, and the Ushakaala Surya at the day break impacting the bright openings of lotuses are prominent in Pakriti. The winds have come to imbibe the sweetness of the plethora of fragrant smells and the scenic beauty. Now the chakravaaka birds revelling with kaama kreeda seek to pick up the top 'paraaga' layers of lotus flowers and enjoy mating swans as if they imitate what they would wish at lakes like Manasaovara! As earth is gradually getting dried up getting rid of slush and mud, now indeed is the approach of Kings to clash and declare battles. This also provides a view of vrishabhas jumping around and forward groups of cows for mating. So do the herds of male elephants seek to slowly and steadily jump forward to groups of she elephants in forests. Lakshmana: *iyam sā prathamā yātrā pārthivānām* nṛpātmaja, na ca paśyāmi sugrīvam udyogam vā tathāvidham/ catvāro vārsikā māsā gatā varşaśatopamāḥ, mama śokābhitaptasya saumya sītām apaśyataḥ/ Priyaa viheene duḥkhārte hṛtarājye vivāsite, kṛpām na kurute rājā sugrīvo mayi lakṣmaṇa/To all types of Kings, Vijaya Yatras are a part of their very existence. But neither Sugriva has presented himself nor there are any such indications. On my part, I am highly agitated for Devi Sita who followed me dutifully and walked into that dandakaranya as if it were a flower garden; four dragging months of Varasha Kala are as tortuous as of hundred years. Lakshmana! I am the most unfortunate of humans deserted from my beloved, had lost kingship, pushed out from my country and even in this tragic state Sugriva is yet to display his kindness. anātho hṛtarājyo 'yam rāvanena ca dharsitah, dīno dūragrhah kāmī mām caiva śaranam gatah itv etaih kāranaih saumva

sugrīvasya durātmanah, aham vānararājasya paribhūtah paramtapa/ Brother! I am now an 'anaadha', Rahya bhrashta, and Ravana had challenged me and am helpless. I was fully convinced that Sugriva would come to my rescue but duratma Sugriva has ditched me thinking that I am capable myself! sa kālam parisamkhyāya sītāyāh parimārgaņe, kṛtārthah samayam kṛtvā durmatir nāvabudhyate/ tvam praviśya ca kiskindhām brūhi vānarapumgayam, mūrkham grāmya sukhe saktam sugrīvam vacanān mama/ arthinām upapannānām pūrvam cāpy upakāriņām, āśām samśrutya yo hanti sa loke puruṣādhamaḥ/ Sugriva made a misleading and false 'pratigina' as his own requirements and and wishes had been fulfilled; he is now diplaying his mean mentality, wickedness and sheer negligence of loyalty. Lakshmana! My considered instruction to you is to reach Kishkindha and convey to that King now floating in 'kaama kreedaas'as follows: arthinām upapannānām pūrvam cāpy upakārinām, āśām samśrutya yo hanti sa loke purusādhamah/ śubham vā yadi vā pāpam yo hi vākyam udīritam, satyena parigrhnāti sa vīrah purusottamah/ kṛtārthā hy akṛtārthānām mitrānām na bhavanti ye, tān mṛtān api kravyādah krtaghnān nopabhuñjate/ He who declared vociferously and made a pratigina of friendship by 'Agni Saakshi', having betrayed once his desires had been fulfilled, is termed as a 'neecha purusha' or fallen human. Contrarily, he who would truthfully abide by the sacred precincts of dharma and nyaaya, notwithstanding insurmounable hurdles is distinguished as an 'uttana purusha'. Futher, he whose selfishness is fulfilled with successful and happy ends keeps hesitates and tends to falter the promises declared is called a 'Kritaghna' of ingratitude and thus not worthy of flesh eating dogs too to even bite.! Lakshmana Kumara! Sugriva concinced me that soon after the Varsha Kala, he would commence the promised task of 'Sitanveshana' but neither there are signs to that effect nor even an indicative word has been conveyed so far. ucyatām gaccha sugrīvas tvayā vatsa mahābala, mama roṣasya yadrūpam brūyāś cainam idam vacah/ na ca samkucitah panthā yena vālī hato gatah, samaye tistha sugrīvamā vālipatham anvagāh/ eka eva rane vālī śarena nihato mayā., tvām tu satyād atikrāntam hanisyāmi sabāndhavam/ Mahabali Lakshmana! Do move from here atonce and address him on my behalf like wise. You are the representation of my anger and convey the same as from me and assert: 'Sugriva! Vaali had been killed and your path had been well laid there eversince. Now, may you not follow the same route and destination! Vaali died alone with one single arrow of mine. But if you waver from your truthful promise, you would too follow the same route along with your 'bandhu baandhavaas'! Lakshmana! You should also convey as from my assertion: 'Vaarara Raja! If only you were to keep up your word of honour even now, other wise you would most certainly meet Vaali in yama loka!

Sarga Thirty One

Lashmana proceeds to Sugriva's Rajya Bhavana at Kishkindha with anger yet restrained by Rama's convincing, meets Aangada who in turn seeks Sugriva to some how pacify Lakshmana Sa kāminam dīnam adīnasattvah; śokābhipannam samudīrnakopam, narendrasūnur naradevaputram; rāmānujah pūrvajam ity uvāca/ na vānarah sthāsyati sādhuvṛtte; na maṁsyate kāryaphalānuṣaṅgān, na bhakşyate vānararājyalakşmīm; tathā hi nābhikramate 'sya buddhih/ matikşayād grāmyasukheşu saktas; tava prasādāpratikārabuddhiḥ, hato 'grajam paśyatu vālinam sa; na rājyam evam viguņasya deyam/ na dhāraye kopam udīrnayegam; nihanmi sugrīvam asatyam adva, haripravīraih saha vāliputro; narendrapatnyā vicayam karotu/ tam āttabānāsanam utpatantam; niveditārtham ranacandakopam, uvaca rāmaḥ paravīrahantā; svavekṣitam sānunayam ca vākyam/ na hi vai tvadvidho loke pāpam evam samācaret, pāpam āryena yo hanti sa vīrah purusottamah/ nedam adva tvayā grāhyam sādhuyrttena laksmana, tām prītim anuvartasva pūrvavṛttam ca samgatam/ sāmopahitayā vācā rūksāni parivarjayan, vaktum arhasi sugrīvam vyatītam kālaparyaye/ so' grajenānuśistārtho yathāvat purusarsabhah, praviveśa purīm vīro lakṣmaṇaḥ paravīrahā/ tataḥ śubhamatiḥ prājño bhrātuḥ priyahite rataḥ, lakşmanah pratisamrabdho jagāma bhavanam kapeh/ śakrabānāsanaprakhyam dhanuh kālāntakopamah, pragrhya giriśrngābham mandarah sānumān iva/ yathoktakārī vacanam uttaram caiva sottaram, bṛhaspatisamo buddhyā mattvā rāmānujas tadā/ kāmakrodhasamutthena bhrātuḥ kopāgninā vṛtaḥ, prabhañjana ivāprītah prayayau laksmanas tadā/ sālatālāśvakarnāms ca tarasā pātayan bahūn, paryasyan girikūtāni drumān anyāms ca vegatah/silās ca sakalīkurvan padbhyām gaja ivāsugah, dūram ekapadam tyaktvā yayau kāryavaśād drutam/ tām apaśyad balākīrņām harirājamahāpurīm, durgām iksvākuśārdūlah kiskindhām girisamkate/ rosāt prasphuramānausthah sugrīvam prati kalsmanah

dadarśa vānarān bhīmān kiskindhāyā bahiścarān/ śailaśrṅgāni śataśah pravrddhāṁś ca mahīruhān, jagrhuh kuñjaraprakhyā vānarāh parvatāntare/ tān grhītapraharanān harīn drstvā tu laksmanah, babhūva dviguņam kruddho bahvindhana ivānalah/ tam te bhayaparītāngāh kruddham dṛṣṭvā plavamgamāḥ, kālamṛtyuyugāntābham śataśo vidrutā diśaḥ/ tataḥ sugrīvabhavanam praviśya haripumgavāh, krodham āgamanam caiva laksmanasva nyavedavan/ tāravā sahitah kāmī saktah kapivrso rahaḥ, na teṣām kapivīrāṇām śuśrāva vacanam tadā/ tataḥ sacivasamdiṣṭā harayo romaharṣaṇāḥ, girikuñjarameghābhā nagaryā niryayus tadā/ nakhadamṣṭrāyudhā ghorāḥ sarve vikṛtadarśanāḥ, sarve śārdūladarpāś ca sarve ca vikrtānanāh/ daśanāgabalāh ke cit ke cid daśagunottarāh, ke cin nāgasahasrasya babhūvus tulyavikramāh/ krtsnām hi kapibhir vyāptām drumahastair mahābalaih, apaśyal laksmanah kruddhah kiskindhām tām durāsadam/ tatas te harayah sarve prākāraparikhāntarāt, niskramyodagrasattvās tu tasthur āviskṛtam tadā/ sugrīvasya pramādam ca pūrvajam cārtam ātmavān, buddhvā kopavaśam vīrah punar eva jagāma sah/ sa dīrghosnamahocchvāsah kopasamraktalocanah, babhūva naraśārdūlasadhūma iva pāvakah/ bāṇaśalyasphurajjihvaḥ sāyakāsanabhogavān, svatejoviṣa saṃghātah pañcāsva iva pannagah/ taṁ dīptam iva kālāgniṁ nāgendram iva kopitam, samāsādvāṅgadas trāsād visādam agamad bhrśam/ so 'ngadam rosatāmrāksah samdideśa mahāyaśāh, sugrīvah kathyatām vatsa mamāgamanam ity uta/ eṣa rāmānujaḥ prāptas tvatsakāśam arimdamaḥ, bhrātur vyasanasamtapto dvāri tiṣṭhati lakṣmaṇaḥ/ lakṣmaṇasya vacaḥ śrutvā śokāviṣṭo 'ngado 'bravīt, pituḥ samīpam āgamya saumitrir ayam āgatah/ te mahaughanibham dṛstvā vajrāśanisamasvanam, simhanādam samam cakrur laksmanasya samīpatah/ tena śabdena mahatā pratyabudhyata vānarah, madavihvalatāmrākso vyākulasragvibhūṣaṇaḥ/ athāngadavacaḥ śrutvā tenaiva ca samāgatau/ mantriņo vānarendrasya sammatodāradarśinau/ plakṣaś caiva prabhāvaś ca mantrināv arthadharmayoḥ, vaktum uccāvacam prāptam lakṣmaṇam tau śaśamsatuḥ/ prasādayitvā sugrīvam vacanaiḥ sāmaniścitaiḥ, āsīnam paryupāsīnau yathā śakram marutpatim/ satyasamdhau mahābhāgau bhrātarau rāmalaksmanau, vayasya bhāvam samprāptau rājyārhau rājyadāyinau/ tayor eko dhanuspānir dvāri tisthati laksmanah, yasya bhītāh pravepante nādān muñcanti vānarāh/ sa esa rāghavabhrātā laksmano vākyasārathih, vyavasāya rathah prāptas tasya rāmasya śāsanāt/ tasya mūrdhnā pranamya tyam saputrah saha bandhubhih, rājams tistha svasamaye bhava satyapratiśravah/

As Shri Rama instructed Lakshmana to go and convey Rama's frustration and anger that Sugriva had not taken any positive move in the context of Sugriva's firm resolution for 'Sitaanveshana', despite the long rainy season was over and the Sharad Ritu had since arrived, Lakshmana replied: 'Arya! Sugriva had truly displayed his meaness and the chanchala buddhi as of a 'vaanara' and after all his firm promises would need to be taken with a pinch of salt. No doubt, Sugriva did take an oath under Agni Saakshi. Sugriva's resolutions are hidden away under his passion for fresh kingship, the excuse of the rainy season and of course his penchant for 'bhoga laalasatva'. Even so his characterlessness is obvious and his irresponsibility is unpardonable, detestable and truly punishable. I am amazed at his nonchalance despite long resolutions and assuring convictions. I am too in heavy rage and the more I think of this utter negligence and casual attitude the stonger I feel that he is disgusting.' So uttering in a high tone and displaying his characteristic temper, Lakshmana sought to leave in disgust and uncontrollable fury with his dhanush baanaas on hand. Then Shri Rama stated: 'Sumitra nandana! In your great fury and agitation, you are not to get readied and resort to 'mitra vadha'! Even justified anger might lead to introspective thoughtfulness. Lakshmana! Be well within the precincts of self control and do not hurt Sugriva physically and maintain the erstwhile frienship with him. You may convey to merely convey: ' you had agreed to initiate action now for 'Sitaanveshana', but why have you done so yet!' Then Lakshmana approached Sugriva's mansion with lifted up dhanush with anger! No doubt, Lakshmana was discreet enough with maturity of Brihaspati, the Deva Guru, despite the fact of his frustration at Sugriva's failure to initiate action to search for Devi Sita. On his way to Sugriva, he felled Saala-Taala-Ashvakarna trees and threw them away out of irritation. He then located Sugriva's Raja Bhavan in the interiors of Kishkindha as the vanara soldiers identified Lakshman who then appeared agitated and was looking like Kaala- Mrityu-Pralayaagni. The vanara guards outside Sugriva's antahpura sent a message to the King who was at that very time was romancing Tara Devi but Sugriva tended to ignore. Some of the maha veera bodyguards stopped Lakshmana. sugrīvasya pramādam ca pūrvajam cārtam ātmavān, buddhvā

kopavaśam vīraḥ punar eva jagāma saḥ/ sa dīrghoṣṇamahocchvāsaḥ kopasamraktalocanaḥ, babhūva naraśārdūlasadhūma iva pāvakaḥ/ bāṇaśalyasphurajjihvaḥ sāyakāsanabhogavān, svatejoviṣa - saṃghātaḥ pañcāsya iva pannagaḥ/ Lakshmana having been reminded of the very purpose for which he had arrived there and keeping in view of Rama's advice to keep restrained, heaved hot breathings like a poisonous cobra's hissings with venom as if ready with raised dhanush. It was at that very time, Angada reached the spot and approached Lakshmana with fear and sadness. Lakshmana then was somewhat cooled down and said: dear son Angada! Now inform Sugriva that Shri Rama's younger brother is waiting standing outside. Then Angada politely asked him to please be seated and then entered Sugriva's antahpura and found Sugriva was resting in sleep.Some how having been awaken and finding Angada too nearby , Sugriva heard Angada's statement: 'Raja Sugriva! As you are aware, Rama Lakshmana brothers are the swarupas of satya and dharma, triloka vijayas and your 'raajya daataas'. Now Lakshmana is standing at your door step with anger. Please urgently attend to him with your queens and followers and seek to assuage his anger and hurt feelings and give him a patient hearing and convince him that you should soon prove your satya pratigina and initiate action rightaway.

Sarga Thirty Two

Hanuman the Prime Minister of King Sugriva sincerely advises the latter to withstand Lakshmana's anger and condescend, besides consolidate action towards 'Sitaanveshana'

Angadasya vacah śrutvā sugrīvah sacivaih saha, lakṣmanam kupitam śrutvā mumocāsanam ātmavān/ sacivān abravīd vākyam niścitya gurulāghavam, mantrajñān mantrakuśalo mantreşu pariniṣṭhital/Na me durvyaahratam kinchinnaapi me duranishthitam, Lakshmano Raghava bhraataa kruddhhah kimati chintaye/ asuhṛdbhir mamāmitrair nityam antaradarśibhih, mama dosān asambhūtāñ śrāvito rāghavānujah/ atra tāvad yathābuddhi sarvair eva yathāvidhi, bhavadbhir niścayas tasya vijñeyo nipunam śanaih/ na khalv asti mama trāso laksmanān nāpi rāghavāt, mitram tv asthāna kupitam janayaty eva sambhramam/ sarvathā sukaram mitram duṣkaram paripālanam, anityatvāt tu cittānām prītir alpe 'pi bhidyate/ atonimittam trasto 'ham rāmena tu mahātmanā, van mamopakrtam śakyam pratikartum na tan mayā/ sugrīveṇaivam uktas tu hanumān haripumgavaḥ, uvāca svena tarkeṇa madhye vānaramantriṇām/ sarvathā naitad āścaryam yat tvam harigaņeśvara, na vismarasi susnigdham upakārakṛtam śubham/ Raghavena tu śūrena bhayam utsrjya dūratah, tvatpriyārtham hato vālī śakratulyaparākramah/ sarvathā pranayāt kruddho rāghavo nātra samsayah, bhrātaram sa prahitavāml laksmanam laksmivardhanam/ tvam pramatto na jānīse kālam kalavidām vara, phullasaptacchadasvāmā pravrttā tu sarac chivā/ nirmala grahanaksatrā dyauh pranastabalāhakā, prasannāś ca diśah sarvāh saritaś ca sarāmsi ca/ prāptam udyogakālam tu nāvaisi haripumgava, tvam pramatta iti vyaktam laksmaņo 'yam ihāgatah/ ārtasya hṛtadārasya paruṣam puruṣāntarāt, vacanam marṣaṇīyam te rāghavasya mahātmanah/ kṛtāparādhasya hi te nānyat paśyāmy aham kṣamam, antarenāñjalim baddhvā lakṣmaṇasya prasādanāt/ niyuktair mantribhir vācyo avaśyam pārthiyo hitam, ata eva bhayam tyaktyā brayīmy avadhrtam vacah/ abhikruddhaḥ samartho hi cāpam udyamya rāghavaḥ, sadevāsuragandharvam vaśe sthāpayitum jagat/ na sa kṣamaḥ kopayitum yaḥ prasādya punar bhavet, pūrvopakāram smaratā kṛtajñena viśeṣataḥ/ tasya mūrdhnā pranamya tvam saputrah sasuhrjjanah, rājams tistha svasamaye bhartur bhāryeva tadvase/ na rāmarāmānujaśāsanam tvayā; kapīndrayuktam manasāpy apohitum, mano hi te jñāsyati mānusam balam; sarāghavasyāsya surendravarcasah/

As Angada of his Mantri Mandali conveyed that Lakshmana was waiting for him with anger, King Sugriva stood up shaken from his bed and addressed the Mantris. He stated defensively: Na me durvyaahratam kinchinnaapi me duranishthitam, Lakshmano Raghava bhraataa kruddhhah kimati chintaye/ asuhrdbhir mamāmitrair nityam antaradarśibhiḥ mama doṣān asambhūtāñ śrāvito rāghavānujaḥ/ atra tāvad yathābuddhi sarvair eva yathāvidhi, bhavadbhir niścayas tasya vijñeyo nipuṇam śanaiḥ/ I have never uttered one unjustified word nor taken such action. Then why indeed Lakshmana had arrived here in anger. I am not able to understand this. It appears that some body against

me had spoilt Lakshmana's mind set and is not in my knowledge. I am still not convinced that Lakshmana is such a person to yield to somebody's words and is thus angry with me. I am least afraid of Lakshmana as long as my relationship with Shri Rama is safe and sound. But at the same time I need to face the nuisance value of Lakshmana. atonimittam trasto 'ham rāmeṇa tu mahātmanā, yan mamopakṛtam śakvam pratikartum na tan mayā/That is why I am concerned and even afraid. After all, I am deeply indebted to Shri Rama and have no capacity to defy him who indeed is a Mahatma!' As Sugriva stated frankly admitting his indebtedness to Shri Rama personally, Hanuman said: sarvathā naitad āścaryam yat tvam hariganeśvara, na vismarasi susnigdham upakārakrtam śubham/ Raghavena tu śūrena bhavam utsrjya dūratah, tvatpriyārtham hato vālī śakratulyaparākramah/ sarvathā pranayāt kruddho rāghavo nātra samśayah, bhrātaram sa prahitavām laksmanam laksmivardhanam Kapi Raja Sugriva! Indeed you are neither ignoring nor forgetting the extraordinary help done by a close friend like Shri Rama. We all do recall the greatest help; but why Rama had asked Lakshmana to meet you as Lakshmana is in fury appears clear. tvam pramatto na jānīṣe kālam kalavidām vara, phullasaptacchadaśyāmā pravṛttā tu śarac chivā/ nirmala grahanakṣatrā dyauḥ pranaṣṭabalāhakā, prasannāś ca diśaḥ sarvāḥ saritaś ca sarāmsi ca/ prāptam udvogakālam tu nāvaisi haripumgava, tvam pramatta iti vvaktam laksmano 'vam ihāgatah/ Sugriva Raja! You are indeed aware of the significance of time and timeliness! But we have neglected the utmost need for timely action and have not realised that the auspicious sharad ritu has since arrived already. Do you not realise that the sky is clear without clouds and the Stars are transparent! Vaanara Raja! It is high time that Kings resume and take up that vijaya yatras with gusto by now!

Hanuman said firmly: 'This is clear that we have erred on the wrong side and hence Lakshman had arrived in great anger and anguish. ārtasya hṛtadārasya paruṣam puruṣāntarāt, vacanam marṣaṇīyam te rāghavasya mahātmanah/ kṛtāparādhasya hi te nānyat paśyāmy aham kṣamam, antareṇānjalim baddhvā lakṣmaṇasya prasādanāt/ niyuktair mantribhir vācyo avaśyam pārthivo hitam, ata eva bhayam tyaktvā bravīmy avadhṛtam vacaḥ/ Mahatma Shri Rama's dear wife was kidnapped and had so far been suffering and hence asked angry Lalshmana to convey his feelings yet controlled. That is why we need to keep quiet without reactions, even if provoked; more so since we have erred and we have failed in discharging our responsibility. Indeed, for the sake of our kingdom and its welfare we need to keep restrained even when Lakshmana might steam off his rage. Otherwise, if Bhagavan Rama gets angered, then he would show a situation of his attack even against Devaasura Gandharvaas and trilokaas! na sa kṣamaḥ kopayitum yaḥ prasādya punar bhavet, pūrvopakāram smaratā kṛtajnena viśeṣataḥ/ tasya mūrdhnā praṇamya tvam saputraḥ sasuḥṛjjanaḥ, rājams tiṣṭha svasamaye bhartur bhāryeva tadvaśe/ Hence, our responsibility now is to bear Lakshmana's anger with folded hands and knees; more so we ought to be humble in view of gratitude and reiterate Sugriva's pratigjna to straiggtaway initiate quick action towards the responsibility of 'Sitaanveshana' at once!

Sarga Thirty Three

Even admiring Kishkindha's beauty, Lakshmana seeks to enter Sugriva's Inner Chamber by resounding his dhanush and the frightened Sugriva seeks Tara's help to cool him down convicinigly therebefore.

Atha pratisamādiṣṭo lakṣmaṇaḥ paravīrahā, praviveśa guhām ghorām kiṣkindhām rāmaśāsanāt/ dvārasthā harayas tatra mahākāyā mahābalāḥ, babhūvur lakṣmaṇam dṛṣṭvā sarve prāñjalayaḥ sthitāḥ/ niḥśvasantam tu tam dṛṣṭvā kruddham daśarathātmajam, babhūvur harayas trastā na cainam paryavārayan/ sa tam ratnamayīm śrīmān divyām puṣpitakānanām, ramyām ratnasamākīrṇām dadarśa mahatīm guhām/ harmyaprāsādasambādhām nānāpaṇyopaśobhitām, sarvakāmaphalair vṛkṣaiḥ puṣpitair upaśobhitām/ devagandharvaputraiś ca vānaraiḥ kāmarūpibhiḥ, divya mālyāmbaradhāraiḥ śobhitām priyadarśanaiḥ/ candanāgarupadmānām gandhaiḥ surabhigandhinām, maireyāṇām madhūnām ca sammoditamahāpathām/ vindhyamerugiriprasthaiḥ prāsādair naikabhūmibhiḥ, dadarśa girinadyaś ca vimalās tatra rāghavaḥ/ aṅgadasya gṛham ramyam maindasya dvividasya ca, gavayasya gavākṣasya gajasya śarabhasya ca/ vidyunmāleś ca sampāteḥ sūryākṣasya hanūmataḥ, vīrabāhoḥ subāhoś ca

nalasya ca mahātmanah/ kumudasya susenasya tārajāmbavatos tathā, dadhivaktrasya nīlasya supāṭalasunetrayoḥ/ eteṣām kapimukhyānām rājamārge mahātmanām, dadarśa grhamukhyāni mahāsārāṇi lakṣmaṇaḥ/ pāṇḍurābhraprakāśāni divyamālyayutāni ca, prabhūtadhanadhānyāni strīratnaiḥ śobhitāni ca/ pāṇḍureṇa tu śailena parikṣiptam durāsadam, vānarendragrham ramyam mahendrasadanopamam/śulkaih prāsādaśikharaih kailāsaśikharopamaih, sarvakāmaphalair vrksaih puştitair upasobhitam/ mahendradattaih srīmadbhir nīlajīmūtasamnibhaih, divyapuşpaphalair vṛkṣaih śītacchāyair manoramaih/ haribhih samvṛtadvāram balibhih śastrapāṇibhih, divyamālyāvṛtam śubhram taptakāñcanatoranam/ sugrīvasya grham ramyam praviveśa mahābalah, avāryamānah saumitrir mahābhram iva bhāskarah/ sa sapta kaksyā dharmātmā yānāsanasamāvrtāh, praviśya sumahad guptam dadarśāntahpuram mahat/haimarājataparyankair bahubhiś ca varāsanaih, mahārhāstaranopetais tatra tatropaśobhitam/ praviśann eva satatam śuśrāva madhurasvaram, tantrīgītasamākīrnam samagīta padāksaram/bahvīś ca vividhākārā rūpayauvanagarvitāh, striyah sugrīvabhavane dadarśa sa mahābalaḥ/drstvābhijanasampannāś citramālyakrtasrajaḥ, varamālyakrtavyagrā bhūṣaṇottamabhūṣitāḥ/ nātrptān nāti ca vyagrān nānudāttaparicchadān, sugrīvānucarāms cāpi laksayām āsa laksmanah/ tatah sugrīvam āsīnam kāñcane paramāsane, mahārhāstaranopete dadarśāditvasamnibham/divvābharana citrāngam divyarūpam yaśasvinam, divyamālyāmbaradharam mahendram iva durjayam, divyābharaṇa mālyābhiḥ pramadābhiḥ samāvrtam/ rumām tu vīraḥ parirabhya gāḍham; varāsanastho varahema varnah, dadarśa saumitrim adīnasattvam: viśālanetrah suviśālanetram/

Welcomed and accompanied by Angada, Lakshmana was welcomed into the King's Bhavan like Kishkindha Cave. As he was entering, huge sized Vanara Soldiers greeted him with reverence. The Mahal was full of sweet odours of chanadana-agaradi sugandhas, cool water springs, beautifully carved ivory pillars, well dressed vanara kanyas with flower garlands, well decotated residential chambers of Angada, Hanuman, Mainda, Dvivid, Gavaya, Gaja, Sharabha, Vidyunmaali, Sampaati, Suryaaksha, Veerabahu, Subahu, Nala, Kumuda, Sushena, Taara, Jaambavaan, Deerghamukha, Neela, Supatala, and Sunetra. Then Sugriva Bhavan was like Indra sadana the entry of which was difficult to enter as was guarded tightly. Inside the bhavan, there were cushioned chairs and bed rests, well decorated hand rests made of silver and gold designs. There was soft music of instruments such as veena as being lilted by well dressed and youthful females of charm, proud and conscious of their figures and face cuts. As dancing girls advanced with the tilting nupuras of their soft and swift feet welcoming Lakshmana, he felt rather shy and bent down his broad head and neck. Then had suddenly realised the very purpose of his visit: Roshavega prakupitah shrutwaa chaabharanasisvanam,chakaara jyaasvanam veeo dishah shabdena puurayan/ Then Lakshmana being full of 'rosha and aaveshaas' stood up firm and straight and did his 'dhanush tamkaara' or the frightening sound which got reverberated all over the directions. On hearing the reverberation, Sugriva realised that Lakshmana had indeed arrived there. Out of sheer fear in his mind and heart, Sugriva consulted Tara as to why and for which reason, Lakshmana has appeared in fury. Please move forward ahead of me and face him first and seek to soften him. I am sure on seeing you first, please welcome him with smiles and sweet conversation. Then I could face him. As she entered, Lakshmana put his chin down and his anger got rather diluted. Then, she addressed Lakshmana: 'Raja Kumara! Why are you annoyed and angry! Who is not following your instructions! Why indeed is provoking you to have you angered !Then Lakshmana replied: 'This husband of yours being sunk deep in 'vishaya bhogaas' and seems to have the principles of 'dharma and nyaya'; why are you not realising this! Sugriva seeks to preserve his kingship as we are drowned on the depths of sorrow and tormentations. He is not the least bothered about this. Vaanara Raja Sugriva was given a waiting period of good four months before he could think of us, if at all. He is too busy with his own 'kaama kreedaas and maddya paanaas'. Nahi dhatmaartha siddhyardham paanamevam prashasyate, paanaadarthascha kaamascha dharmascha pariheeyate/ Dharma lopo mahaamstaavat krite hyaapratikurvatah, artha lopascha mitrasya naashe gunavato mahaan/ Devi! Those Purushaas who aim at the fulfillment of Dharaartha Siddhi would indeed not resort to 'madya paana' ever, since the purushathaas are drowned in it. In case of close friendships, when help is expected of them, them the ties of friendship could be snapped away as troubles are to be faced by both the parties to mutual peril. Mitram hyaarthagunashreshtham satya dharma paraayanam,

tadaddvayam tu parityakam na tu dhame vyavasthitam/ Tadevam prastute kaarye kaaryamasmaabhi ruttaram, tat kaaryam karya tatvagjne tvamudaahartumarhasi/ Friends are essentially of two types: one
type of friendship is merely to get one's own selfish purposes; another kind is rooted to the principles of
Satya and Dharma or Thuthfulness and Virtuousness or blamelessness. In such a situatuion and context,
what ought to be the action plan therehence! Then what should be the kartavya or the responsibility, do
tell me, as Tara Devi! you indeed are a tatva jnaani!!' Tara then replied: Na kopa kaalah kshitipalaputra!
Na chaapi kopah svajane vidhyeyah/ tadathakaamasya tasya pramaadapyaharsi veerasodhum/ Veera
Raja Kumara! This is not the appropriate time for anger and anguish. Sugriva is determined to fulfill the
'karya siddhi'. In case there is a mistake, kindly do pardon us! Udyogastu chiraagjnaptah Sugrivena
narottama,kaamasyaapi vidheyena tavaarthapratisaadhane/Nara shreshtha Lakshmana! Even if Sugriva
is drowned with wine and women, he had already initiated steps for forward action and is awaiting for
final instructions!' Devi Tara further said: 'Maha baaho! As perhaps, you might have perhaps felt that it
might not be proper for you to enter the inner most chamber of Sugriva as he was surrounded by women
around, but please do step in as Sugriva is actually waiting for you!' As Lakshmana peeped in and entered
there, he saw him and stood up waiting and expecting MahaVeera Lakshmana!

Sargas Thirty Four and Thirty Five

Sugriva faces the wrath of Lakshmana and Tara continues to soothen Lakshmana by her tactical talks

Tam apratihatam kruddham pravistam purusarsabham sugrīvo laksmanam dṛṣṭvā babhūva vyathitendriyah/ kruddham nihśvasamānam tam pradīptam iva tejasā, bhrātur vyasanasamtaptam dṛṣṭvā daśarathātmajam/ utpapāta hariśrestho hitvā sauvarnam āsanam, mahān mahendrasya yathā svalamkrta iva dhvajah/ utpatantam anūtpetū rumāprabhrtayah striyah, sugrīvam gagane pūrnam candram tārāganā iva/ samraktanayanah śrīmān vicacāla kṛtāñjalih, babhūvāvasthitas tatra kalpavṛkso mahān iva/ rumā dvitīvam sugrīvam nārīmadhyagatam sthitam, abravīl laksmanah kruddhah satāram śaśinam vathā/ sattvābhijanasampannah sānukrośo jitendriyah, krtajñah satyavādī ca rājā loke mahīyate/ yas tu rājā sthito 'dharme mitrānām upakārinām, mithvāpratijñām kurute ko nrsamsataras tatah/ satam asvānrte hanti sahasram tu gavānrte, ātmānam svajanam hanti purusah purusānrte/ pūrvam krtārtho mitrānām na tat pratikaroti yaḥ, kṛtaghnaḥ sarvabhūtānām sa vadhyaḥ plavageśvara/ gīto 'yam brahmaṇā ślokaḥ sarvalokanamaskrtah, drstvā krtaghnam kruddhena tam nibodha plavamgama/ brahmaghne ca surāpe ca core bhagnavrate tathā, niskrtir vihitā sadbhih krtaghne nāsti niskrtih anāryas tvam krtaghnas ca mithyāvādī ca vānara, pūrvam krtārtho rāmasya na tat pratikarosi yat/ nanu nāma krtārthena tvayā rāmasya vānara, sītāyā mārgane yatnah kartavyah kṛtam icchatā/ sa tvam grāmyesu bhogesu sakto mithyā pratiśravaḥ, na tvām rāmo vijānīte sarpam maṇdūkarāviṇam/ mahābhāgena rāmeṇa pāpaḥ karuṇavedinā, harīṇām prāpito rājyam tvam durātmā mahātmanā/ kṛtam cen nābhijānīṣe rāmasyāklistakarmaṇah, sadyas tvam niśitair bāṇair hato drakṣyasi vālinam/ na ca samkucitaḥ panthā vena vālī hato gatah, samave tistha sugrīva mā vālipatham anvagāh/na nūnam iksvākuvarasva kārmukāc; cyutāñ śarān paśyasi vajrasamnibhān, tatah sukham nāma nisevase sukhī; na rāmakāryam manasāpy avekṣase/

As Lakshmana forced his entry into Sugriva's 'antahpura' with anger, the latter got frightened with his body parts benumbed. Indeed his elder brother was agitated due to Sugriva's indifference. Sugriva jumped up suddenly as if a 'dhwaja' got broken and fallen down to earth. And so did his surrounded females including Ruma Devi, who too were frightened. Sugriva bent his head down with folded hands with reverence. Then Lakshmana shouted at Sugriva: 'Vaanara Raja! You are complemented usually as a Dhairyavaan-Kuleena-Dayalu-Jitendriya- and Satyavaadi Raja. But how is it that you are proving to be liar and cruel having made a truthless 'Pratigjna'! Do you know the adage and sinfulness that by swearing before a horse, the person concerned becomes an 'Ashvaanruta' and is doomed by that pratigjna! Like wise when a person duly performs 'Go Daana' and soon enough commits a Go hatya! Similarly a Pratigjna before a 'dharmatma' person and yet kills that very person, he is called

'atmaghaata'! Did you not swear before Shri Rama! pūrvam kṛtārtho mitrāṇām na tat pratikaroti yaḥ, kṛtaghnaḥ sarvabhūtānām sa vadhyaḥ plavageśvara/ gīto 'yam brahmaṇā ślokaḥ sarvalokanamaskṛtaḥ, dṛṣṭvā kṛtaghnam kruddhena tam nibodha plavamgama/ brahmaghne ca surāpe ca core bhagnavrate tathā, niṣkṛtir vihitā sadbhiḥ kṛtaghne nāsti niṣkṛtiḥ/ Vaanara Raja! He who fulfills his immediate requirement and would not care to perform return help is righrly named as a 'Kritaghna' deserving the punishment of killing him. Kapi Raja! Lord Brahma having observed such a Kritaghna made the following shloka: Even sinners who commit Gohatya, drinkning of intoxicants, stealing and vrata bhanga might undergo 'prayaschitta' or atonement, but there could be no remission for 'kritaghnata' or ungratefulness! Vaanara! You are an Anaarya-Kritaghna-and Midyaavaadi, since out of your selfishness, you are not doing reciprocation of any kind and have not consolidated steps for Sitanvesgana as yet! Your Patiginas are hollow and have truly proved the adage of a Serpent and a Frog and your true form of deception has been shown to Shri Rama. There fore, Sugriva! Even now, wake up from your 'vishaya vaancchhas' or else take to the path of Vaali!

Vishleshana on Prayaschittas (Atonements): Sourced from Parashara Smriti and Manu Smriti

Prayaschitta for 'Sura paana: Dwija if drunk by mistake or due to uncertain mental balance be served boiling hot liquor so that he is probably recall his bad experience be reminded of his guilt again and again. Alternatively, he is punished by drinking boiling hot cow's urine, or water or ghee or cow dung almost till he is tongue is burnt literally. Or else, the possible atonement of consuming hard liquor, one might eat only a day and rice'oil cakes for the night for a year and wear cow hair clothes carrying a flag of anti-liquor all along. Suraapaana is such as the waste of grains which is abhorable since that is the food and drink of yaksha, raakshasa, pishachas; indeed brahmanas especially ought to avoid suraapaana as being the virtuous eaters of 'havish' or the remains of the offerings of food on completion of vedic homa karyas. Even once a brahmana consumes a hard liquor gets barred from brahmanatwa and gets outcast to the meanest low class. Stealing: Gold of brahmanas once complained and the stealer confesses, striking the culprit hard with a club then the thief gets purified and the brahmana victim retains his austerity. Infact, the victim brahmana might gift the gold and retreat to perform brahma tathya pataka vrata and that ideed be the perfect manner by which the thief himself would get ashamed. Guru bharya talpagaami: This is one of the 'Pancha mahaapaatakas' that deserves the praayaschitta only by self confession and embracing the protype of a woman of redhot iron and literally dying or alternatively cut off his own male organ and try to walk towards 'nairuti' or south west till he perhaps falls dead. Go hatya: If a cow is killed, the 'praayaschitta' would be to shave off his head and consume the drink of yavas or barly grains and hide himself from the public in a cowshed wearing the hides of the dead cow for a month. During that period of atonement he should bathe in the cow urine and eat only the havishya bhojana only for three weeks in the month; in the following two months, he should follow cows with composure and drink the water mixed with the dust raised by the cowherd and at the day eat saltless 'havishaana' and sit up in veeraasanam position all through the night as the cows sleep off comfortably. In case, a sick and frightened cow of sacredness expecting or acually attacked by tigers or wild animals and fallen helpless in a ditch or mud, then no honest attempt be spared by some how tide over the rescue. In varying conditions of weather of heat, rain, cold and speedy winds, a good human being should make allout and determined endeavors even at the risk of one's existence; if a grazing cow-incidentally this is the only being in the Lord's srishti which inhales as also exhales oxyzen- while its calf is enjoying milk from its udder, be it in the fields or one's own cow-yard, any attacker either by a criminal or an animal, cows ought to be rescued first and then the calf. Anena vidhinaa yastu goghno gaamanu -gachhati, sa gohatyaakritam paapam tribhirmaasairvyapohati/ Any person suffering from the sin of 'go hatya' if he rescues a dying cow would indeed be relieved of this atrocious degradation of morality within three months of such rescue. Once one's prayaschitta is concluded then the person concerned is to observe charity to a well learnt Brahmana of ten cows and a bull, or alternatively surrender what ever property that he has!]

Sarga Thirty Five continued:

Tathā bruvānam saumitrim pradīptam iva tejasā, abravīl laksmanam tārā tārādhipanibhānanā/naivam laksmana vaktavyo nāyam parusam arhati, harīnām īśvarah śrotum tava vaktrād viśesatah/ naivākṛtajñaḥ sugrīvo na śaṭho nāpi dāruṇaḥ, naivānṛtakatho vīra na jihmaś ca kapīśvaraḥ/ upakāram kṛtam vīro nāpy ayam vismṛtaḥ kapiḥ, rāmeṇa vīra sugrīvo yad anyair duṣkaram raṇe/ rāmaprasādāt kīrtim ca kapirājyam ca śāśvatam, prāptavān iha sugrīvo rumām mām ca paramtapa/ suduhkham śāvitah pūrvam prāpyedam sukham uttamam, prāptakālam na jānīte viśvāmitro yathā munih ghṛtācyām kila samsakto daśavarṣāṇi lakṣmaṇa, aho 'manyata dharmātmā viśvāmitro mahāmuniḥ/ sa hi prāptam na jānīte kālam kālavidām varah, viśvāmitro mahātejāh kim punar vah prthagjanah/ dehadharmam gatasyāsya pariśrāntasya laksmana, avitrptasya kāmesu rāmah ksantum ihārhati// na ca rosavaśaṁ tāta gantum arhasi lakşmaṇa, niścayārtham avijñāya sahasā prākrto yathā/ sattvayuktā hi puruṣās tvadvidhāḥ purusarsabha, avimrśya na rosasya sahasā yānti vaśyatām/ prasādaye tvām dharmajña sugrīvārthe samāhitā, mahān rosasamutpannah samrambhas tyajyatām ayam/ rumām mām kapirājyam ca dhanadhānyavasūni ca, rāmapriyārtham sugrīvas tyajed iti matir mama/ samāneṣvyati sugrīvaḥ sītayā saha rāghavam, śaśānkam iva rohiṣyā nihatvā rāvaṇam raṇe/ śatakoṭisahasrāṇi lankāyām kila rakṣasām, ayutāni ca sattrimsat sahasrāni satāni ca/ ahatvā tāms ca durdharsān rāksasān kāmarūpinah, na sakvo rāvaņo hantum yena sā maithilī hrtā/ te na śakyā raņe hantum asahāyena lakṣmaṇa, rāvaṇaḥ krūrakarmā ca sugrīveņa višeṣataḥ/ evam ākhyātavān vālī sa hy abhijño harīśvaraḥ, āgamas tu na me vyaktaḥ śravāt tasya bravīmy aham/ tvatsahāyanimittam vai preşitā haripumgavāḥ, ānetum vānarān yuddhe subahūn hariyūthapān/ tāms ca pratīksamāno 'yam vikrāntān sumahābalān, rāghavasyārthasiddhyartham na niryāti harīśvarah/ kṛtā tu samsthā saumitre sugrīvena yathāpurā, adya tair vānarair sarvair āgantavyam mahābalaih/ rkṣakoṭisahasrāṇi golāṅgūlaśatāni ca, adya tvām upayāsyanti jahi kopam arimdama, koṭyo 'nekās tu kākutstha kapīnām dīptatejasām/ tava hi mukham idam nirīkṣya kopāt; kṣatajanibhe nayane nirīksamānāh, harivaravanitā na yānti śāntim; prathamabhayasya hi śankitāh sma sarvāh/ Tara Devi while seeking to lessen the anger of Lakshmana stated: 'Kumara Lakshmana! It shoud not become of speaking about Sugriva in this manner. He is the King of Vanaras and moreso would no=t be appropriate from a friend like you. Veera! Kapi Raja is neither ingratitude, dull, cruel and untruthful nor a knave. Undoubtedly Shri Rama had helped him in a battle which was not possible otherwise and Kapiraja would not be able to ignore that act of Rama's grace. Indeed it was due to Rama's courtesy that Sugriva accorded his Kingship, fame and repossession of Devi Ruma. In the past, Sugriva had all types of misfortunes and extreme suffereness but since his attachment to Ruma and her retrieval now had indeed got made him excited, like Brahmarshi Vishvamitra's passion to Apsarasa Menaka. Indeed, Vishvamitra as a King from Kshatriya Vamsha having been bent on accomplishing Kama Dhenu from Vasishtha but having failed in his keen endeavour was frustrated and took to long tapasya, but was seduced by Apsarasa Menaka instead. [Refer Essence of Valmiki Bala Ramayana- Sarga]. Sugriva was thus excited in his recovery of Ruma and spent good time with her thanks to the arrival of the rainy season when battles were impossible then and 'Sitaanveshana' had to be stalled. Lakshmana! It is stated that Maha Muni Vishvamitra due to his passion for Menaka considered ten long years as if it were just one day; such was the example of Brahmarshi Vishvamitra, let alone Sugriva! Kumara Lakshmana! dehadharmam gatasyāsya pariśrāntasya lakṣmaṇa, avitṛptasya kāmeṣu rāmaḥ kṣantum ihārhati// The natural instincts of all the Beings in the Creation are food, sleep and the joy of procreation. Sugriva having been frustrated for the best part of his lifetime had since eaten well, slept well and enjoyed his marital bliss. Had not a Mahatma of the stature of Shri Rama is missing the company of Devi Sita even during this very short time! Thus the kind hearted Shri Rama should bear this delay for a few days or weeks. Purusha Vara Lakshmana! Being a 'Satyaguna sampanna' of your status should ignore this short delay but not get jittery, alarmed and agitated, much less shout loud all about. I seek your pardon for this short time lapse, if any. I am very certain and confident that Sugriva is such as to ignore all his interests in the kingdom, Ruma, or me or Angada- dhana dhaanyaas and popularity just for the of Rama and his wish to recover Devi Sita; surely you aware of the inseperability of Chandra and Rohini!

Visleshana on Chandra Deva's inseperability of Devi Rohini vide Varaha Purana

Daksha's curse to Moon and reappearance: As Prajapati Daksha married off all his twenty seven daughters to Soma, the latter was ignoring all the daughters, excepting Devi Rohini. The 27 daughters married to Chandra are Kṛttika, Rohinī, Mrigasheersha, Aardra, Punarvasu, Purbabhadrapada, Pushya, Aslesha, Magha, Svaati, Chitra, Purvaphalguni, Hasta, Dhanishtha, Vishaakha, Anuraadha, Jyeshtha, Moola, Purvaashaadha, Uttaraashaadha, Shravana, Uttarphalguni, Shatabhisha, Uttarbhadrapada, Revati, Ashwini, Bharani. These 27 wives of Chandra are 27 Nakshatras (the constellations) which are on the moon's orbit. The rest of them complained to their father Daksha who reprimanded Soma to behave but Soma ignored the repeated warnings of Daksha. Out of exasperation, Daksha cursed Soma to gradually decline and finally disappear. In the absence of Soma, there were far reaching adverse effects in the Universe. Devas including Vanaspati felt Soma's absence and so did human beings, trees, animals and worst of all medicinal plants, herbs and so on. The Sky was dark and the Stars too lost the shine. Chandra prayed to Lord Shiva for long at Prabhasa Tirtha and since Daksha's cures was irreversible a compromise was made that during Krishna paksha Chandra would wane and wax during Shukla Paksha. However, this formula proved defective as Chandra was sinking in the Ocean causing natural sufferings by way of non availa -bility of herbs and so on and at the request of Devas to Shiva again, Chandra left only with one of the 'Kala', the Lord gracefully wore the Crescent Moon on His 'jataajuta mastaka' for good, enabling Chandra to wane and wax every month eversince! As Devas approached Vishnu, He advised the solution of Churning the Ocean by both Devas and Danavas and latter too agreed to the proposal for the lure of securing 'Amrit'. In the process of churning, Moon was given birth again. This had brought great relief to Devas, human beings whose 'Ekadasha Indriyas' (Eleven Body parts), 'Pancha Bhutas' (Five Elements), Solah Kshetra Devatas, Trees and Medicines. Even Rudra's head was without Soma and so did water. Lord Brahma blessed Pournima thithi and selected the day for worship to Chandra Deva when fast is viewed propitious along with token amount of money and material as charity. That specific day 'Yava' Bhojan (Barley food) or barley made material is considered to blessed a person with Gyan (Knowledge), radiance, health, prosperity, foodgrains and salvation. Further Stanzas of Sarga Thirty Five continued:

It is stated that there are thirty six hunderd rakshasa veeras exist in Lanka under the rule of Lanka with a population of hundred thousand crores. The Maha Mayavi Rakshasaas could change their figures as they please and are stated as cruel, hard to be killed and brave warriors under the unique Kingship Ravana who kidnapped Devi Sita who is known as the terror of Devas, let alone the brainy humans. Lakshmana! you are aware that possible and close assistance of Vanara strength is essential and was sought for and hence the cooperation of Sugriva. Be that as it may, blaming and shouting at Sugriva notwithstanding the mutual relations for small adjustment of a few days of time loss is truly undiplomatic. Vaali was well aware of Ravana Sena's number, quality and bravery; he used to confide these facts in me. This was how Sugriva is seeking to mobilise the full strength of Vanaras, knowing well that several of them would perish. He is inculcating among them of the unique spirit of loyalty, Swami Bhakti and the blind belief of Shri Rama's unique personality of dharma-thyaga-nyaya and celestial features. A time limit has already been fixed even well earlier by Sugriva and by to day it self maha bali vanaras [refer Sarga 29] are getting rallied up; some hundreds of crores each of reecch-langurs or long tailed, black faced, huge sized Asian Monkeys and big sized Vanaras had since rallied up already. Therefore Lakshmana! Leave anger and initiate action!

Sarga Thirty Six

Thus Tara managed the anger of Lakshmana convincingly and praised of Rama and his stature vis-à-vis that of Sugriva- Sugriva expresses of Rama's magnificence and his mere supplemantary assistance

Ity uktas tārayā vākyam praśritam dharmasamhitam, mṛdusvabhāvaḥ saumitriḥ pratijagrāha tadvacaḥ/tasmin pratigṛhīte tu vākye harigaṇeśvaraḥ,lakṣmaṇāt sumahat trāsam vastram klinnam ivātyajat/tataḥ kaṇṭhagatam mālyam citram bahuguṇam mahat, ciccheda vimadaś cāsīt sugrīvo vānareśvaraḥ/sa lakṣmaṇam bhīmabalam sarvavānarasattamaḥ, abravīt praśritam vākyam sugrīvaḥ sampraharṣayan/

pranastā śrīś ca kīrtiś ca kapirājyam ca śāśvatam, rāmaprasādāt saumitre punah prāptam idam mayā/ kah śaktas tasya devasya khyātasya svena karmanā, tādrśam vikramam vīra pratikartum arimdama/ sītām prāpsyati dharmātmā vadhişyati ca rāvaṇam, sahāyamātreṇa mayā rāghavaḥ svena tejasā/ sahāyakrtyam hi tasya yena sapta mahādrumāh, śailaś ca vasudhā caiva bāṇenaikena dāritāh/ dhanur visphāramānasva vasva šabdena laksmana, sašailā kampitā bhūmih sahāvais tasva kim nu vai/ anuyātrām narendrasya karişye 'ham nararşabha, gacchato rāvaṇam hantum vairiṇam sapuraḥsaram/ yadi kim cid atikrāntam viśvāsāt praņayena vā, presyasya kṣamitavyam me na kaś cin nāparādhyati/iti tasya bruvāṇasya sugrīvasya mahātmanaḥ, abhaval lakṣmaṇaḥ prītaḥ premṇā cedam uvāca ha/ sarvathā hi mama bhrātā sanātho vānareśvara, tvayā nāthena sugrīva praśritena viśeṣataḥ/ yas te prabhāvaḥ sugrīva yac ca te śaucam uttamam, arhas tam kapirājyasya śriyam bhoktum anuttamām/ sahāvena ca sugrīva tvayā rāmah pratāpavān, vadhisyati rane śatrūn acirān nātra samśayah dharmajñasya kṛtajñasya saṃgrāmesy anivartinah, upapannam ca yuktam ca sugrīva tava bhāsitam/ dosajñah sati sāmarthye ko 'nyo bhāsitum arhati, varjayitvā mama jyestham tvām ca vānarasattama/ sadṛśaś cāsi rāmasya vikrameņa balena ca, sahāyo daivatair dattas cirāya haripumgava/kim tu sīghram ito vīra niskrāma tvam mayā saha, sāntvayasya vayasyam ca bhāryāharanaduhkhitam/ yac ca śokābhibhūtasya śrutvā rāmasya bhāṣitam, mayā tvam paruṣāṇy uktas tac ca tvam kṣantum arhasi/

As thus Tara thus convinced Lakshmana of the gigantic preparatory efforts of the Vaanara Sena, Sugriva who approached him and had re-emphasised his gratitude to Shri Rama and of his grand stature and his all out efforts to assist him in a minicsule manner. He recalled Shri Rama's unimaginable caliber of 'Sapta Taala Vriksha Chedana' by his single arrow and blew off mountains, shook off earth having pierced through it down to paatala as the arrow thus returned within minutes back to his quiver! Indeed of which avail is the help of Vaanaraas even as race that Lord Brahma created! Veera Lakshmana! I can only follow Rama's footsteps well behind him to merely extend moral support to him at the most, as perhaps of a relieving factor of tension typical of human nature of the essential celestial incarnation of what Shri Rama is! Lakshmana! The 'dhanurvisphotana shabda' or the reverberating sound of his staraightened bow string would shake off earth with the mountains tilted and oceans shaken, then of which avail of my assistance and crores of my intrepid - yet ever submissive army! yadi kim cid atikrāntam viśvāsāt praṇayena vā, preṣyasya kṣamitavyam me na kaś cin nāparādhyati/ Nara shreshtha: If I have committed any laxity and relaxation in my efforts, I seek your sympathy and camaraderie out of your indulgence as in own's own efforts of devotion such shortcomings do occur to the subordinates but ignored sympatheti cally.' As King Sugriva explained thus, Lakshmana replied: 'Sugriva! I do understand appeciate your heart is clean and feelings are genuine. I am totally convinced of your transparency of clean feelings of heart, and of your firm attitude to enthuse your soldiers to sacrifice but never show their backs with come what may resolve. Perhaps, apart from my elder brother, you excel as a vidvan and of firm resolution. May Devas bless us to provide such life sacrificing friends! kim tu śīghram ito vīra niṣkrāma tvam mayā saha, sāntvayasva vayasyam ca bhāryāharaṇaduḥkhitam/ yac ca śokābhibhūtasya śrutvā rāmasya bhāsitam, mayā tyam parusāny uktas tac ca tyam ksantum arhasi/ Veera Sugriya! Now do please attend to duties and keep Shri Rama well informed of further developments. I might have erred by misunderstanding your personality and please to pardon my ill behaviour and rashness.'

Sarga Thirty Seven

Sugriva instructs consolidating Vanara Sena and proceed to Kishkindha and inform compliance to him

Evam uktas tu sugrīvo lakṣmaṇena mahātmanā, hanumantam sthitam pārśve sacivam vākyam abravī/
mahendrahimavadvindhyakailāsaśikhareṣu ca, mandare pāṇḍuśikhare pañcaśaileṣu ye sthitāḥ/
taruṇādityavarṇeṣu bhrājamāneṣu sarvaśaḥ, parvateṣu samudrānte paścimasyām tu ye diśi/
ādityabhavane caiva girau samdhyābhrasamnibhe, padmatālavanam bhīmam samśritā haripumgavāḥ/
añjanāmbudasamkāśāḥ kuñjarapratimaujasaḥ, añjane parate caiva ye vasanti plavamgamāḥ/ manaḥśilā
guhāvāsā vānarāḥ kanakaprabhāḥ, merupārśvagatāś caiva ye ca dhūmragirim śritāḥ/ taruṇādityavarṇāś

ca parvate ye mahārune, pibanto madhumaireyam bhīmavegāh plavamgamāh/ vanesu ca suramyesu sugandhisu mahatsu ca, tāpasānām ca ramyesu vanāntesu samantatah/ tāms tāms tvam ānaya ksipram pṛthivyām sarvavānarān, sāmadānādibhih kalpair āśu preṣaya vānarān/ preṣitāh prathamam ye ca mayā dūtā mahājavāḥ, tvaraṇārtham tu bhūyas tvam harīn sampreṣayāparān/ ye prasaktāś ca kāmeṣu dīrghasūtrāś ca vānarāh,ihānavasva tān sarvāñ śīghram tu mama śāsanāt/ ahobhir daśabhir ve ca nāgacchanti mamājñayā,hantavyās te durātmāno rājaśāsanadūṣakāḥ/shatanyatha sahasrāṇi koṭyaś ca mama śāsanāt, prayāntu kapisimhānām diśo mama mate sthitāh/ meghaparvatasamkāśāś chādayanta ivāmbaram, ghorarūpāh kapiśresthā vāntu macchāsanād itah/ te gatijñā gatim gatvā prthivvām sarvavānarāh, ānayantu harīn sarvāms tvaritāh śāsanān mama/ tasya vānararājasya śrutvā vāyusuto vacah, diksu sarvāsu vikrāntān presayām āsa vānarān/ te padam visnuvikrāntam patatrijyotiradhvagāh, prayātāh prahitā rājñā harayas tatksanena vai/ te samudresu girisu vanesu ca saritsu ca, vānarā vānarān sarvān rāmahetor acodayan/ mṛtyukālopamasyājñām rājarājasya vānarāh, sugrīvasyāyayuh śrutvā sugrīvabhayadarśinah/ tatas te 'ñjanasamkāśā gires tasmān mahājavāḥ, tisraḥ koṭyaḥ plavamgānām niryayur yatra rāghavaḥ/ astam gacchati yatrārkas tasmin girivare ratāḥ, taptahemasamābhāsās tasmāt kotyo daśacyutāh/ kailāsa śikharebhyaś ca simhakesaravarcasām, tatah kotisahasrāni vānarānām upāgaman/ phalamūlena jīvanto himavantam upāśritāḥ, teṣām koṭisahasrāṇām sahasram samavartata/ angāraka samānānām bhīmanām bhīmakarmaṇām, vindhyād vānarakoṭīnām sahasrāṇy apatan drutam/ ksīrodavelānilayās tamālavanavāsinah nārikelāśanāś caiva tesām samkhyā na vidyate/ vanebhyo gahvarebhyaś ca saridbhyaś ca mahājavāh, āgacchad vānarī senā pibantīva divākaram/ ye tu tvarayitum yātā vānarāh sarvavānarān, te vīrā himavac chailam dadrsus tam mahādrumam/ tasmin girivare ramye vajño maheśvarah purā, sarvadevamanastoso babhau divyo manoharah/ annavisvandajātāni mūlāni ca phalāni ca, amṛtasvādukalpāni dadṛśus tatra vānarāḥ/ tad anna sambhavam divyam phalam mūlam manoharam, yah kaś cit sakrd aśnāti māsam bhavati tarpitah tāni mūlāni divyāni phalāni ca phalāśanāh, ausadhāni ca divyāni jagrhur hariyūthapāh/tasmāc ca yajñāyatanāt puspāni surabhīni ca, āninyur vānarā gatvā sugrīvapriyakāranāt/ te tu sarve harivarāh pṛthivyām sarvavānarān, samcodayitvā tvaritam yūthānām jagmur agratah/ te tu tena muhūrtena yūthapāh śīghrakārinah, kiskindhām tvarayā prāptāh sugrīvo yatra vānaraḥ/ te gṛhītvauṣadhīḥ sarvāḥ phalam mūlam ca vānarāḥ, tam pratigrāhayām āsur vacanam cedam abruvan/ sarve parigatāh śailāh samudrāś ca vanāni ca, prthivvām vānarāh sarve śāsanād upayānti te/ evam śrutyā tato hrstah sugrīvah playagādhipah pratijagrāha ca prītas tesām sarvam upāyanam/

Then Sugriva instructed Hanuman to despatch efficient Vaanaras in thousands and lakhs and repeatedly spread the message of the Vaanara King to all the Vanaraas living at the tops and sides of Five famed Parvatas of Mahendra-Himavan-Vindhya-Kailasa-Mandarachala, besides of Meru, the Surya Bhramana related Udayaachala-Asthaalaya, as also the Padmaachala Vanaashrita bhayankara Vanaras, Anjanaa Parvata vaasis etc. to assemble at Kishkindha within ten days failing which they would be subjected to death penalty. Hanuman was indeed capable of organising the spread of this unique directive as he was renowned for his mercurial and none too possible action for him. As a result, there were three crores of most sturdy giant sized Vanara Pramukhas who were commandeered by the grit of the celestial Vaayu-Suta Anjaneya. They arrived from Kailasa, Himalaya, Vindhyachala and many other mountain shikharaas. Thus: vanebhyo gahvarebhyaś ca saridbhyaś ca mahājavāh, āgacchad vānarī senā pibantīva divākaram/ ye tu tvarayitum yātā vānarāh sarvavānarān, te vīrā himavac chailam dadrsus tam mahādrumam/ Vanaraas of countless forests, mountain caves, river banks and all other conceivable origins were whipped by the Vaayu Putra Veera Hanuman. As yet another batch of Hanuman followers were despatched to Himalayas, they seemed to have witnessed that very Maha Vriksha which was reputed as Bhagavan Shankara having performed a glorious Yagina in the presence of all the Devatas. annavişyandajātāni mūlāni ca phalāni ca, amṛtasvādukalpāni dadṛśus tatra vānarāḥ/ tad anna sambhavam divyam phalam mūlam manoharam, yah kaś cit sakṛd aśnāti māsam bhavati tarpitah tāni mūlāni divyāni phalāni ca phalāśanāh, ausadhāni ca divyāni jagrhur hariyūthapāh/On those Himalayas, all the homa dravyas were available, besides trees with sweet and tasty fruits and roots which were sighted at once, and tha Vanaras while moving to Kishkindha had carried plentiful stock useful for a

month plus of consumption.. On the arrival of the crores of Vanaraas of varied descriptions and origins reported to Sugriva and said: *sarve parigatāḥ śailāḥ samudrāś ca vanāni ca, pṛthivyām vānarāḥ sarve śāsanād upayānti te/* Maha Raja! we have all arrived from various Parvatas, Nadis, and Forests awaiting your further instructions. Sugriva had no doubt complemented Hanuman for the arrival of far flung regions especially from Himalayas along with ample food supply for themselves and a multitude of fellow Vanaras from elsewhere too!

Sarga Thirty Eight

<u>Lakshmana returns to Rama as accompanied by Sugriva as he was despatched to ascertain as to why</u> Sugriva did not action for Sitanveshana yet

Pratigṛhya ca tat sarvam upānayam upāhṛtam, vānarān sāntvayitvā ca sarvān eva vyasarjayat/ visarjayitvā sa harīñ śūrāms tān kṛtakarmaṇaḥ, mene kṛtārtham ātmānam rāghavam ca mahābalam/ sa laksmano bhīmabalam sarvavānarasattamam, abravīt praśritam vākvam sugrīvam sampraharsavan, kişkindhāyā vinişkrāma yadi te saumya rocate/ tasya tadvacanam śrutvā laksmaņasya subhāsitam, sugrīvah paramaprīto vākyam etad uvāca ha/ evam bhavatu gacchāmah stheyam tvacchāsane mayā, tam evam uktvā sugrīvo laksmanam subhalaksmanam/ visarjayām āsa tadā tārām anyās ca yositah, etetv uccair harivarān sugrīvah samudāharat/ tasya tadvacanam śrutvā harayah śīghram āyayuh, baddhāñjalipuṭāḥ sarve ye syuḥ strīdarśanakṣamāḥ/ tān uvāca tataḥ prāptān rājārkasadṛśaprabhaḥ, upasthāpayata kṣipram śibikām mama vānarāḥ/ śrutvā tu vacanam tasya harayaḥ śīghravikramāḥ, samupasthāpayām āsuḥ śibikām priyadarśanām/ tām upasthāpitām dṛṣṭvā śibikām vānarādhipaḥ, laksmanāruhyatām śīghram iti saumitrim abravīt/ ity uktvā kāñcanam vānam sugrīvah sūrvasamnibham, brhadbhir haribhir yuktam āruroha salaksmanah/ pāndurenātapatrena dhriyamānena mūrdhani, śuklaiś ca bālavyajanair dhūyamānaih samantatah/ śankhabherīninādais ca bandibhis cābhivanditah, niryayau prāpya sugrīvo rājyaśriyam anuttamām/ sa vānaraśatais tīsknair bahubhih śastrapānibhih, parikīrno yayau tatra yatra rāmo vyavasthitaḥ/ sa taṁ deśam anuprāpya śreṣṭhaṁ rāmaniṣevitam, avātaran mahātejāh śibikāyāh salaksmanah/ āsādya ca tato rāmam krtāñjaliputo 'bhayat, krtāñjalau sthite tasmin vānarāś cabhavams tathā/ tatākam iva tad drstvā rāmah kudmalapankajam, vānarānām mahat sainvam sugrīve prītimān abhūt/ pādayoḥ patitam mūrdhnā tam utthāpya harīśvaram, premṇā ca bahumānāc ca rāghavah parisasvaje/ parisvajya ca dharmātmā nisīdeti tato 'bravīt, tam nisannam tato drstvā ksitau rāmo 'bravīd vacah/ dharmam artham ca kāmam ca kāle yas tu nisevate, vibhajya satatam vīra sa rājā harisattama/ hitvā dharmam tathārtham ca kāmam yas tu nisevate, sa vrksāgre yathā suptah patitah pratibudhyate/ amitrānām vadhe yukto mitrānām samgrahe ratah, trivargaphalabhoktā tu rājā dharmena yujyate/ udyogasamayas tv eṣa prāptaḥ śatruvināśana, samcintyatām hi pingeśa haribhiḥ saha mantribhih/ evam uktas tu sugrīvo rāmam vacanam abravīt, pranastā śrīś ca kīrtiś ca kapirājyam ca śāśvatam, tvatprasādān mahābāho punaḥ prāptam idam mayā/ tava devaprasadāc ca bhrātuś ca jayatām vara, krtam na pratikurvād vah purusānām sa dūsakah/ ete vānaramukhvās ca satasah satrusūdana, prāptāś cādāva balinah prthivyām sarvavānarān/ rksāś cāvahitāh śūrā golāṅgūlāś ca rāghava, kāntāra vanadurgāṇām abhijñā ghoradarśanāḥ/ devagandharvaputrāś ca vānarāḥ kāmarūpiṇaḥ, svaiḥ svaiḥ pariyrtāh sainyair vartante pathi rāghava/ śataih śatasahasraiś ca kotibhiś ca plavamgamāh, ayutaiś cāvṛtā vīrā śaṅkubhiś ca paramtapa/ arbudair arbudaśatair madhyaiś cāntaiś ca vānarāh, samudraiś ca parārdhaiś ca harayo hariyūthapāh/āgamisyanti te rājan mahendrasamavikramāh, merumandara samkāśā vindhyamerukṛtālayāḥ/ te tvām abhigamiṣyanti rākṣasam ye sabāndhavam, nihatya rāvaṇam samkhye hy ānayişyanti maithilīm/ tatas tam udyogam avekşya buddhimān; haripravīrasya nideśavartinah, babhūva harṣād vasudhādhipātmajah; prabuddhanīlotpalatulyadarśanah/

Having sent off the new arrivals of Vanaras, Sugriva had also sent off Tara and other strees too, he accosted a few vanara body guards, asked them to fetch a 'palanquin' and requested Lakshmana to alight into it and along with himself proceeded to Shri Rama. Having reached Shri Rama, he folded his hands as Rama asked him to be seated. He then addressed Sugriva as follows: *dharmam artham ca kāmam ca kāle*

yas tu nisevate, vibhajya satatam vīra sa rājā harisattama/ hitvā dharmam tathārtham ca kāmam yas tu nisevate, sa vrksāgre yathā suptah patitah pratibudhyate/ Veera! Vaanara shiromani! It would be that ideal King who balances the three precepts of Dharma- Artha- Kaama and fulfills his duty equitably. But according extra weightage only to 'Kaama' is like one who sleeps only on one branch of a tree neglecting the other branches is lopsided and then faces the risk of falling down and then opening his eyes after the fall would be futile. amitrāṇām vadhe yukto mitrāṇām samgrahe ratah, trivargaphalabhoktā tu rājā dharmena yujyate/ udyogasamayas tv eşa prāptah śatruvināśana, samcintyatām hi pingeśa haribhih saha mantribhih/ On the contrary, an ideal king who destroys an enemy and ensures friendhip to a third party while suitably apportioning the two compartments of dharma and kaama would most certainly reap the fruits. King Sugriva! It is high time to initiate, consolidate and hasten the preparatory activity in consultation with the ministers, senapatis and advisers.' As Shri Rama prefaced his considered advice, King Sugriva replied: pranastā śrīś ca kīrtiś ca kapirājyam ca śāśvatam, tvatprasādān mahābāho punah prāptam idam mayā/ tava devaprasadāc ca bhrātuś ca jayatām vara, kṛtam na pratikuryād yah puruṣāṇām sa dūṣakaḥ/ ete vānaramukhyāś ca śataśaḥ śatrusūdana, prāptāś cādāya balinaḥ pṛthivyām sarvayānarān/ 'Maha baaho Shri Rama! My fortunes, fame, and kingdom which got evaporated, but I am ever grateful as you had revived them all by your ability, cooperation and strong bonds of freindship. Thanks to you and the goodwill of your brother Lakshmana, the Kingdom of Vanaras has been reestablished on firm footing now. Those who do not repay the services with gratitude are certainly punishment worthy as an appopriate retribution. Shatrusudana! Here are thousands of the most courageous and gutsy Vaanara yodhaas as the frontline warriors, besides crores of the entire Vaanaras from all over the mountain tops, river banks, thick jungles and water flows. They include reeches, golaanguulas, besides giant sized Vaanaras. Shri Rama! Be this known well: devagandharvaputrāś ca vānarāḥ kāmarūpiṇaḥ, svaiḥ svaiḥ parivṛtāḥ sainyair vartante pathi rāghava/ śataiḥ śatasahasraiś ca kotibhiś ca playamgamāh, ayutaiś cāvrtā vīrā śankubhiś ca paramtapa/Deva Gandharvas and their sons have since taken the forms of Maha Vaanaras on their own! arbudair arbudasatair madhyais cāntais ca vānarāh, samudraiś ca parārdhaiś ca harayo hariyūthapāh/ The Vanara Sankhya is in arbudas or ten crores, ten arbudas, antya or one padma, Madhya or ten padmas and Paraardha or Shankha! Shri Rama! te tvām abhigamisvanti rāksasam ve sabāndhavam, nihatva rāvanam samkhve hv ānavisvanti maithilīm/ tatas tam udyogam aveksya buddhimān; haripravīrasya nidešavartinah, babhūya harsād yasudhādhi pātmajaḥ; prabuddhanīlotpalatulyadarśanaḥ/ In this forthcoming battle with the maha rakshasaas Ravana ought to be killed and Mithileshwari Sita be relieved of Lanka and all countless Vanara warriors should be participating in this Itihasik Rama Ravana Yuddha! Then Shri Rama having personally visualised the massive following of Vanaras headed by Sugriva was truly impressed and pleased.

Sarga Thirty Nine

As Shri Rama had sincerely thanked the efforts in mobilising an ocean like Vanara Sena to fight his battle against Ravanasura, the grateful Sugriva returns back for further action

Iti bruvāṇam sugrīvam rāmo dharmabhṛtām varaḥ, bāhubhyām sampariṣvajya pratyuvāca kṛtāñjalim/ yad indro varṣate varṣam na tac citram bhaved bhuvi, ādityo vā sahasrāmśuḥ kuryād vitimiram nabhaḥ/ candramā raśmibhiḥ kuryāt pṛthivīm saumya nirmalām, tvadvidho vāpi mitrāṇām pratikuryāt paramtapa// evam tvayi na tac citram bhaved yat saumya śobhanam, jānāmy aham tvām sugrīva satatam priyavādinam/ tvatsanāthaḥ sakhe samkhye jetāsmi sakalān arīn, tvam eva me suhṛn mitram sāhāyyam kartum arhasi/ jahārātmavināśāya vaidehīm rākṣasādhamaḥ, vañcayitvā tu paulomīm anuhlādo yathā śacīm/ nacirāt tam haniṣyāmi rāvaṇam niśitaiḥ śaraiḥ paulomyāḥ pitaram dṛptam śatakratur ivārihā/ etasminn antare caiva rajaḥ samabhivartata, uṣṇām tīvrām sahasrāmśoś chādayad gagane prabhām/ diśaḥ paryākulāś cāsan rajasā tena mūrchitāḥ, cacāla ca mahī sarvā saśailavanakānanā/ tato nagendrasamkāśais tīkṣṇa damṣṭrair mahābalaiḥ, kṛtsnā samchāditā bhūmir asamkhyeyaiḥ plavamgamaiḥ/Nimeṣāntaramātreṇa tatas tair hariyūthapaiḥkoṭīśataparīvāraiḥ kāmarūpibhir āvṛtā/ nādeyaih pārvatīvaiś ca sāmudraiś ca mahābalaih, haribhir meghanirhrādair anvaiś ca vanacāribhih/

tarunādityavarnaiś ca śaśigauraiś ca vānaraih, padmakesaravarnaiś ca śvetair merukrtālayaih/ koṭīsahasrair daśabhiḥ śrīmān parivṛtas tadā, vīraḥ śatabalir nāma vānaraḥ pratyadṛśyata/ tataḥ kāñcanaśailābhas tārāyā vīryavān pitā, anekair daśasāhasraiḥ koṭibhiḥ pratyadṛśyata/ padmakesarasamkāśas taruṇārkanibhānanaḥ, buddhimān vānaraśreṣṭhaḥ sarvavānarasattamaḥ/ anīkair bahusāhasrair vānarānām samanvitah, pitā hanumatah śrīmān kesarī pratyadrśvata/ golāngūlamahārājo gavākşo bhīmavikramaḥ, vṛtaḥ koṭisahasreṇa vānarāṇām adṛśyata/ ṛkṣāṇām bhīmavegānām dhūmraḥ śatrunibarhanah, vrtah kotisahasrābhyām dvābhyām samabhivartata/ mahācalanibhair ghoraih panaso nāma vūthapah, ājagāma mahāvīrvas tisrbhih kotibhir vrtah/ nīlāñjanacavākāro nīlo nāmātha vūthapah adrśyata mahākāyah koṭibhir daśabhir vṛtah/ darīmukhaś ca balavān yūthapo 'bhyāyayau tadā, vṛtaḥ kotisahasrena sugrīvam samupasthitah/ maindaś ca dvividaś cobhāv aśviputrau mahāvalau, kotikotisahasrena vānarānām adrsvatām/ tatah kotisahasrānām sahasrena satena ca, prsthato 'nugatah prāpto haribhir gandhamādanah/ tatah padmasahasrena vrtah śankuśatena ca, yuvarājo 'ngadah prāptaḥ pitrtulyaparākramaḥ/ tatas tārādyutis tāro harir bhīmaparākramaḥ pañcabhir harikotībhir dūrataḥ pratyadrśyata/ indrajānuḥ kapir vīro yūthapaḥ pratyadrśyata, ekādaśānām koṭīnām īśvaras taiś ca samvṛtaḥ/ tato rambhas tv anuprāptas taruṇādityasamnibhaḥ, ayutena vṛtaś caiva sahasreṇa śatena ca/ tato yūthapatir vīro durmukho nāma vānaraļ, pratyadrsyata koṭibhyām dvābhyām parivrto balī/ kailāsasikharākārair vānarair bhīmavikramaiḥ, vṛtaḥ koṭisahasreṇa hanumān pratyadṛsyata/ nalas cāpi mahāvīryah samvrto drumavāsibhih, kotīśatena samprāptah sahasrena śatena ca/ śarabhah kumudo vahnir vānaro rambha eva ca, ete cānye ca bahavo vānarāh kāmarūpinah/ āvṛtya pṛthivīm sarvām parvatāms ca vanāni ca, āplavantaḥ plavantas ca garjantas ca plavamgamāḥ, abhyavartanta sugrīvam sūryam abhragaṇā iva/ kurvāṇā bahuśabdāms ca prahṛṣṭā balasālinaḥ, sirobhir vānarendrāya sugrīvāya nyavedayan/ apare vānaraśreṣṭhāḥ saṃgamya ca yathocitam, sugrīveṇa samāgamya sthitāḥ prāñjalayas tadā/ sugrīvas tvarito rāme sarvāms tān vānararṣabhān, nivedayitvā dharmajñaḥ sthitaḥ prāñjalir abravīt/ yathā sukham parvatanirjharesu; vanesu sarvesu ca vānarendrāh, niveśayitvā vidhivad balāni; balam balajñah pratipattum īste/

Pleased with Sugriva's sincere efforts and the vast collection of Vanara Sena that he had organised, Rama embraced Sugriva and told him: 'dear friend! While Surya Deva scorches earth and its inhabitants during the day time, Chandra Deva brightens it soothingly in the nights; indeed this is not surprising since this is the normal phenomenon of Nature. That is why your return service to me is natural too. Dear friend! Backed up by your assistance, I should now succeed in the battle and uproot Ravana and his fellow rakshasaas. <code>jahārātmavināśāya vaidehīm rākṣasādhamaḥ</code>, <code>vañcayitvā tu paulomīm anuhlādo yathā śacīm/nacirāt tam haniṣyāmi rāvaṇam niśitaiḥ śaraiḥ</code>, <code>paulomyāḥ pitaram dṛptam śatakratur ivārihā/</code> Rakshasaadhama Ravana ought to be mercilessly killed as he sought to cheat Sita and abducted her just as Anuhlaada - having convinced Shachi Devi's own father Puloma - abducted Shachi Devi the rightful wife of Indra but the latter killed Anuhlaada ruthlessly. Not only that, Indra killed Devi Shachi's father Rakshasa Puloma too.

[Vishleshana on Anuhlada- Shachi Devi-and Indra:

Shachi Devi the daughter of Danava Puloma was fond of Indra Deva even before their wedding, but Puloma liked another Danava youth named Anuhlaada. With the secret consent and permission of Puloma, Anuhlaada forcibly abducted Shachi Devi. Indra attacked and killed him brutally and married Shachi Devi. In further revenge Indra killed his father in law Danava Puloma too, thereafter.

Incidentally there is another Vishleshana on Shachi Devi and Indra vide Sarga Forty Eight of the Essence Of Valmiki Baala Ramayana in an another context of Vritrasura Vadha my Indra with the help of Dadhichi's backbone turned into Vajrayudha, but Indra was punished for 'brahma hatya pataka', as Indra got dethroned by Nahusha as new Indra,who claimed Shachi Devi and was finally recovered as hidden in a lotus stem at Manasarovara]

As Shri Rama was thus addressing Sugriva, the huge mass of Vanara Sena of arbudaas got flooded as originated from river beds, mountain tops, jungles, surrounding oceans with sky reverberation sounds and simha naadaas. Some were of Sun like redness and some of Chandra like pale yellowish colour, while those from Himalayas were of ice like whiteness. At that time on the mass of Vanara sena, were the prominent 'Shatabali Naayaka Veera' headed koti sahasra -ten arab- strong Vaanaras. Then figured Devi 'Tara's Maha bali father' was prominent heading 'sahasra koti' Vanara Yoddhhaas. Father of Ruma Devi and the son in law of Sugriva was there too. Then Veera Hanuman's father, 'Kesari' heading several thousand followers was noted also. The King of Golaangula race of Languras, 'Gavaksha' was prominent heading ten 'arab', Vaanara veeraas. Maha Parakrami 'Panasa' heading three crore Maha Vanaras too was too visible like a flash. Yudhapati 'Gavaya' of the splendour of Meru Parvata brought parvataakaara bhayankara Vaanaraas of five crores was significant too. Then 'Mainda and Dvividha' Maha Vanaras who were the twins of the 'amsha' Ashvini Kumaras contributed then each of arbudas of Vanaras. Balavan veera 'Gaja' contributed three crores of Vanaras. Reecha Raja 'Jaambavan' headed ten crores of bears of gigantic size was prominently spotted. 'Ruman' or Ruknanvaan led an arbuda vanara, while 'Gandhamadana' headed a 'padmaful sized' yaanaras, 'Angada Kumara; the yuya raja in his perfonal capacity contributed two 'padma' like Vanara sena. 'Taaraka' nama Maha vanara fetched five crores of vanara yoddhas. 'Indrabhanu' named yuuthapati who was a vidvan too brought in bedind him eeven crores of vaanaras. 'Ramya nayaka' of pratah kaala Surya headed eleven thousand and hundred vanara sena behing him.' Durmukha Maha Vanara' brought two crores of vaanara fighters.' Veera Hanuman' who made all out efforts to mobilise the vanara yoddhas from all over the 'dishas' from mountains, river beds, forests and water flows commanded in his personal capacity presented Shri Rama a mass of vanaraas of ten arabs of death desperate warriors and so did 'Nala' too of the same number. ' Deergha Mukha' with thunderous garjana presented himself right before Sugriva as the leader of ten crore select Vanaraas of jumping enthusiasm. Like wise, 'Sharabha', 'Kumuda', 'Ramha', and 'Vahni' who like asuras could change their swarupas as they please filled in earth like space from mountain peaks but their count defied numbering. sugrīvas tvarito rāme sarvāms tān vānararsabhān, nivedavitvā dharmajñah sthitah prāñjalir abravīt/ yathā sukham parvatanirjhareşu; vaneşu sarveşu ca vānarendrāh, niveśayitvā vidhivad balāni; balam balajñah pratipattum īste/Thus dharma jnaata Sugriva intimated to Rama Lakshmanas of the details of the 'Monkey Brigade' and of some prominent Vanara Leaders along with the details of the numbers of the vanara- languras of varied origin, belonging and places all collected with his gigantic efforts unheard, indescribable and unimaginable in the past or even future.

Sarga Forty

Now that the full backing of Vanara Sena along with enthused dedication of 'Swami Karya', Rama instructed Sugriva to take off the efforts of 'Sitaanveshana' in the eastern direction

Aatha Rājā samrddhārthaḥ sugrīvaḥ plavageśvaraḥ, uvāca naraśārdūlam rāmam parabalārdanam/ āgatā viniviṣṭāś ca balinaḥ kāmarūpiṇaḥ, vānarendrā mahendrābhā ye madviṣayavāsinaḥ/ ta ime bahusāhasrair haribhir bhīmavikramaiḥ, āgatā vānarā ghorā daityadānavasamnibhāḥ/ khyātakarmāpadānāś ca balavanto jitaklamāḥ, parākrameṣu vikhyātā vyavasāyeṣu cottamāḥ/ pṛthivyambucarā rāma nānānaganivāsinaḥ, koṭyagraśa ime prāptā vānarās tava kimkarāḥ/ nideśavartinaḥ sarve sarve guruhite ratāḥ, abhipretam anuṣṭhātum tava śakṣyanty arimdama/ yan manyase naravyāghra prāptakālam tad ucyatām, tat sainyam tvadvaśe yuktam ājñāpayitum arhasi/ kāmam eṣām idam kāryam viditam mama tattvataḥ, tathāpi tu yathā tattvam ājñāpayitum arhasi/ tathā bruvāṇam sugrīvam rāmo daśarathātmajaḥ, bāhubhyām sampariṣvajya idam vacanam abravīt/ jñāyatām saumya vaidehī yadi jīvati vā na vā, sa ca deśo mahāprājña yasmin vasati rāvaṇaḥ/ adhigamya ca vaidehīm nilayam rāvaṇasya ca, prāptakālam vidhāsyāmi tasmin kāle saha tvayā/ nāham asmin prabhuḥ kārye vānareśa na lakṣmaṇaḥ, tvam asya hetuḥ kāryasya prabhuś ca plavageśvara/ tvam evājñāpaya vibho mama kāryaviniścayam, tvam hi jānāsi yat kāryam mama vīra na samśayaḥ/ suhṛddvitīyo vikrāntaḥ prājñah kālaviśeṣavit, bhavān asmaddhite yuktaḥ sukṛtārtho 'rthavittamah/ evam uktas tu sugrīvo

vinatam nāma yūthapam, abravīd rāma sāmnidhye laksmanasya ca dhīmatah, śailābham meghanirghosam ūrjitam plavageśvaram/ somasūryātmajaih sārdham vānarair vānarottama deśakālanayair yuktah kāryākāryaviniścaye/ vrtaḥ śatasahasreṇa vānarāṇām tarasvinām, adhigaccha diśam pūrvām saśailavanakānanām/ tatra sītām ca vaidehīm nilayam rāvaņasya ca, mārgadhvam giridurgesu vanesu ca nadīsu ca/ nadīm bhāgīrathīm ramyām sarayūm kauśikīm tathā, kālindīm yamunām ramyām yāmunam ca mahāgirim/ sarasvatīm ca sindhum ca śoṇam maṇinibhodakam, mahīm kālamahīm caiva śailakānanaśobhitām/ brahmamālān videhāms ca mālavān kāsikosalān, māgadhāms ca mahāgrāmān puṇḍrān vaṅgāṁs tathaiva ca/ pattanaṁ kośakārāṇāṁ bhūmiṁ ca rajatākarām, sarvam etad vicetavyam mrgayadbhir tatas tatah/ rāmasya dayitām bhāryām sītām daśaratah snusām, samudram avagādhām's ca parvatān pattanāni ca/mandarasya ca ve kotim sam'sritāh ke cid āvatām, karnaprāvaranāś caiva tathā cāpy osthakarnakāh/ ghorā lohamukhāś caiva javanāś caikapādakāh, aksayā balavantaś ca purusāh purusādakāh/ kirātāh karnacūdāś ca hemāngāh priyadarśanāh, āmamīnāśanās tatra kirātā dvīpavāsinah/ antarjalacarā ghorā naravyāghrā iti śrutāh, eteṣām ālayāh sarve viceyāḥ kānanaukasaḥ/ giribhir ye ca gamyante plavanena plavena ca, ratnavantam yavadvīpam saptarājyopasobhitam/ suvarnarūpyakam caiva suvarnākaramanditam, vavadvīpam atikramya sisiro nāma parvatah/ divam spṛśati śṛṅgeṇa devadānavasevitah, eteṣām giridurgeṣu pratāpeṣu vaneṣu ca/ rāvaṇaḥ saha vaidehyā mārgitavyas tatas tata, tataḥ samudradvīpām's ca subhīmān draṣṭum arhatha/ tatrāsurā mahākāyāś chāyām grhnanti nityaśah, brahmanā samanujñātā dīrghakālam bubhuksitāh/ tam kālameghapratimam mahoraganisevitam, abhigamya mahānādam tīrthenaiva mahodadhim/ tato raktajalam bhīmam lohitam nāma sāgaram, gatā draksyatha tām caiva bṛhatīm kūṭaśālmalīm/ gṛham ca vainatevasva nānāratnavibhūsitam, tatra kailāsasamkāśam vihitam viśvakarmanā/ tatra śailanibhā bhīmā mandehā nāma rākṣasāḥ, śailaśṛṅgeṣu lambante nānārūpā bhayāvahāh/ te patanti jale nityam sūryasyodayanam prati, abhitaptāś ca sūryena lambante sma punah punah/ tatah pāndurameghābham ksīraudam nāma sāgaram, gatā draksyatha durdharsā mukhā hāram ivormibhih tasya madhye mahāśveta rsabho nāma parvatah, divyagandhaih kusumitai rajataiś ca nagair vṛtah/ saraś ca rājataih padmair įvalitair hemakesaraih, nāmnā sudaršanam nāma rājahamsaih samākulam/ vibudhāś cāranā yakṣāḥ kiṁnarāḥ sāpsarogaṇāḥ, hṛṣṭāḥ samabhigacchanti nalinīṁ tāṁ riraṁsavaḥ/ kṣīrodaṁ samatikramya tato draksyatha yānarāh, jalodam sāgaraśrestham sarvabhūtabhayāyaham/ tatra tat kopajam tejah krtam havamukham mahat, asyāhus tan mahāvegam odanam sacarācaram/ tatra vikrośatām nādo bhūtānām sāgaraukasām, śrūyate cāsamarthānām dṛṣṭvā tad vaḍavāmukham/ svādūdasyottare deśe yojanāni trayodaśa, jātarūpaśilo nāma mahān kanakaparvatah/ āsīnam parvatasyāgre sarvabhūtanamaskrtam, sahasraśirasam devam anantam nīlavāsasam/ triśirāh kāñcanah ketus tālas tasya mahātmanah, sthāpitah parvatasyāgre virājati savedikah/ pūrvasyām diśi nirmānam kṛtam tat tridaśeśvaraih, tatah param hemamayah śrīmān udayaparvatah/ tasya kotir divam spṛstvā śatayojanam āyatā, jātarūpamayī divyā virājati savedikā/ sālais tālais tamālaiś ca karņikāraiś ca puspitaiḥ, jātarūpamayair divyaiḥ śobhate sūryasamnibhaiḥ/ tatra yojanavistāram ucchritam daśayojanam, śringam saumanasam nāma jātarūpamayam dhruvam/ tatra pūrvam padam krtvā purā visnus trivikrame, dvitīvam šikharam meroš cakāra purusottamah uttarena parikramva jambūdvīpam divākarah, drśvo bhavati bhūvistham śikharam tan mahocchrayam/ tatra vaikhānasā nāma vālakhilvā maharşayah, prakāśamānā drśyante sūryavarņās tapasvinah/ ayam sudarśano dvīpah puro yasya prakāśate, yasmims tejaś ca caksuś ca sarvaprānabhrtām api/ śailasya tasya kuñjesu kandaresu vanesu ca, rāvanah saha vaidehyā mārgitavyas tatas tatah/ kāñcanasya ca śailasya sūryasya ca mahātmanah, āvistā tejasā saṃdhyā pūrvā raktā prakāśate/ tatah paramagamyā syād dik pūrvā tridaśāvṛtā, rahitā candrasūryābhyām adrsyā timirāvrtā/ saileşu teşu sarveşu kandareşu vaneşu ca, ya ca noktā mayā desā viceyā tesu jānakī/ etāvad vānaraiḥ śakyam gantum vānarapumgavāḥ, abhāskaram amaryādam na jānīmas tataḥ param/ adhigamya tu vaidehīm nilayam rāvaṇasya ca, māse pūrņe nivartadhvam udayam prāpya parvatam/ ūrdhvam māsān na vastavyam vasan vadhyo bhaven mama, siddhārthāh samnivartadhvam adhigamya ca maithilīm/ mahendrakāntām vanasanda manditām; diśam caritvā nipunena vānarāh, avāpya sītām raghuvamsajapriyām; tato nivrttāh sukhito bhavisyatha/

Sugriva having thus detailed the details of 'mahaparaa krami vaanara yoddhas' who actually presented themselves, Rama as Lakshmana too was present instructed Sugriva as follows: Vanara shiromani! The seach for Devi Sita and thed residence of Ravanasura be initiated at all the surroundings of Ganga-Sarayu-Kaishiki-Kalinda Yamuna- Sarasvati-Sindhu-Shonabhadra, besides the kingdoms of Brahma maala, Videha, Maalava, Kashi, Kosala, Magadha and their cities and vilages. Besides the dashantara dwipas like yava, suvarna, adi dveepas; as also sapta dwipas of Sapta Dwipas (Jambu, Plaksha, Salmaali, Kusha, Krouncha, Shaka and Pushkala) be searched thoroughly. Then among the Sapta Samudras (Lavana or Salt, Ikshurasa or Sugarcane juice, Sura or Wine, Ghrita or Classified Butter, Dahi or Curd, Ksheera or Milk and Suswada or Sweet Water) be searched;

Vishleshana on Sapta Dweepas from Brahma Purana

The entire Bhuloka (Earth) was divided into seven major Territories viz. Jambu, Plaksha, Shyalma, Kusha, Krouncha, Shaka and Pushkara surrounded by Sapta Samudras (Seven Seas) viz. Lavana (Salt), Ikshurasa (Sugar cane juice), Sura (wine), Ghrita (Classified Butter or Ghee), Dadhi (Curd), Dugdha (Milk) and Swadu Jala (Sweet Water). Prithvi is stated to have a lotus-like shape, each one of the angles situated with Sapta Parvatas (Seven Main Mountians) with Himavan, Hemakuta and Nishadha in South; Nila, Sweta and Shringvan in North, in the Center is Meru with a height of eighty four thousand yojanas, sixteen thousand yojanas of depth, thirty two thousand yojanas of circumference. Bharata Varsha, Kimpurasha and Hari Varshas are to the south of Meru; Ramyaka Varsha is in North; Bhadraswa in East; and Ketumala in West. In Jambu Dwipa, there is Bharata Varsha above the Sea and below the Himalaya called Bharati with a width of nine thousand yojanas; this is known as 'Karma bhumi' where Swarga and Moksha are accessible to those who are desirous and deserving. There are seven major Kula Parvatas / mountains in Bharat viz. Mahendra, Malaya, Sahya, Shaktiman, Ruksha, Vindhya and Pariyatra. It is in this Bharata from where attainment of Swarga becomes possible not only for human beings but even Pashu-Pakshis (animals and birds) with; 'Sakaama Sadhana' or Endeavors while in the materialistic world one could reach Swarga, whereas Nishkama Sadhana could even secure Moksha (Salvation). But negative results might be accrued in performing sins and would attract Narakas besides getting sucked into the whirlpool of births and deaths. There is no other place in one's life excepting in Bharata Varsha or the Karma Bhumi where such a possibility ever exists. Spread over an area of thousand yojans long from North to South, this hallowed land is divided into Nine Regions viz. Indra dwipa, Kasetutana also known as 'Upto Setu', Tamravarna, Gabhastimaan, Nagadwipa, Soumya dwipa, Gandharwa dwipa, Varunadwipa and the Sea-surrounded ninth dwipa. To the east-ward of Bharata is the abode of Kiratas while the westward is of Yavanaas; inhabitants of the Central Region are Brahmana, Kshatriya, Vaishyas and Sudras whose professions are Yagnas, Yuddha, Vanijya and Seva (Sacrifices, Battles, Commerce and Trade and Service) respectively. In this Bharata, are of residents of Kuru, Panchala, Madhya desha, Purvadesha, Kamarupa (Assam), Poundya, Kalinga (Orissa), Magadha, Dakshina Pradesha, Aparanta, Sourashtra (Kathiyavad), Sudra, Abhira, Arbuda (Abu), Maru (Marvada), Malva, Pariyatra, Souveera, Sindhu, Shalva, Madra, Ambashtha, and Parasika. The Yugas of Satya, Treta, Dwapara and Kali are applicable only to Bharata Varsha and nowhere else. While Bharata is the Karma Bhumi practising Yagnas and Daanaas, compared to all other Countries in Jambu Dwipa are Bhoga / luxury-oriented. Bharata Varsha is the best of all the Places in Jambu Dwipa as the former is the Karma Bhumi compared to all other Deshas which are primarily pleasure-loving. It would be only after lakhs of births that one could secure a human life after storing considerable Punya; in fact, Devas sing hymns saying that those who take birth as human beings are blessed since they are born as Manavaas who had great opportunity to qualify to attain Swarga and Moksha by following a religious and disciplined life and by following Nishkaama Dharma or without strings of 'Plalaapeksha' or fruits of returns. Plaksha Dwipa is double the size of Jambu Dwipa's one lakh yojanas under the Chief called Mehatidikh who had seven sons and the Kingship was surrounded by Seven major Mountains and Seven Rivers with the traits typical of Treta Yuga. Its inhabitants pray to Bhagavan Vishnu in the form of Chandra Deva. Compared to the salty taste of Sea water between Jambudwipa and Plaksha Dwipa, the taste was of Ikshu in the of intermediate region of Plaksha and

Shalmala whose Chief was Vapushman and the latters's size was double that of Plaksha. Here again there are seven mountains with mines of jewels / precious stones and seven Rivers and in this Dwipa Lord Vishnu is prayed in the form of Vayu Deva. Like in Plaksha Dwipa, the inhabitants of Salmala too, Varnashrama is followed and the colours of persons in these Varnas are Kapila, Aruna, Peeta and Krishna are for Brahmanas, Kshatriyas, Vaisyas and Sudras respectively. Sura Samudra earmarks the inter-region of Salmala and Kusha Dwipa whose size was double that of Salmala and Kusha's King is Jyotishman and the inhabitants are human beings practicing Varanashrama as also Daityas, Danavas, Devatas, Gandharvas, Yakshas, Kinnaras and a great mix of Brahma's creation. They all pray to the Multi Faced Janradana. Ghrita Samudra (Classified Butter) partitions the Kusha and Krouncha Dwipas; the size of the Krouncha is double that of Kusha. Rituman is the King of Krouncha where again Varnashrama is observed and the counter-part Varnas are Pushkala, Pushkara, Dhanya and Khyata corresponding to Brahmanas etc. Rudra Swarupa Janardana is the Deity revered in this Dwipa. Between Krauncha and Shaka Dwipas is the Dadhimandoda Samudra and the King of Shaka is Mahatma Bhavya, again with Seven Mountains and Seven Major Rivers as also seven Princes, where Siddhas and Gandharvas inhabit. Maga, Mahadha, Manasa and Mandaga are the corresponding Chaturvarnas. All the inhabitants of this Dwipa pray to Surya Swarupi Vishnu. From Shaka to Pushkara, the intermediate Samudra is of Ksheera and Pushkara which is double of Shaka is size is headed by Stravana and since it is a huge Dwipa, the King divided it to Mahavira Varsha and Dhataki varsha and the sons of the King awarded the two in their names after the two parts under his over-all control. These territories are mainly inhabited by human beings who have longevity of ten thousand years, devoid of illnesses and worries and of jealousies, fears, egos and crookedness; these humans as superior as Devas and Daityas and they are all devoid of Varnashrama as all the inhabitants are of equal status. The dividing line of Pushkara is surrounded by sweet water atop of which is Lokaloka Parvata, beyond which is stated to be of complete darkness; in fact, the Border of Pushkara of ten thousand yojanas, there were neither species nor life.

Stanza 47 coninued:

kṣīrodam samatikramya tato drakṣyatha vānarāḥ, jalodam sāgaraśreṣṭham sarvabhūtabhayāvaham/ tatra tat kopajam tejaḥ kṛtam hayamukham mahat, asyāhus tan mahāvegam odanam sacarācaram/ tatra vikrośatām nādo bhūtānām sāgaraukasām, śrūyate cāsamarthānām dṛṣṭvā tad vaḍavāmukham/ Vaanara veeraas! As you cross Kshaara sagara, then you would find 'susvaadu jaja samudra' where Brahmarshi Ourvi due whose exreme rage, badavaa mukha agni was created. And, ordinary pranis cried and then a huge mountain came into place with saala-taala tamala virkshas with sweet fruits.tatra pūrvam padam kṛtvā purā viṣṇus trivikrame, dvitīyam śikharam meroś cakāra puruṣottamaḥ/ It was from that Udayagiri peak named 'Soumanasa' that Bhagavan Vishnu in his 'Vaamaraavataara' rested his very first stepped foot of the three feet place for his tapasya and his lifted foot on the shikhara of Meru parvata from where he lifted his second step to occupy the leg to the upper lokas and could not place the third foot except on Bali Chakravarti's head and pusher further down to pataalaadi lokaas! From 'Udayaachala's behind, having continued 'Sitanveshanam, vaanara yoddhaas migh to proceed to the east in their prescribed task of 'Sitaanveshana".

[Ready Ref. Vishleshana repeated in brief about Vaamana Deva and Balichakravarti vide Essence of Valmiki Ramayana as released by the website of kamakoti .org/books

As Vamana Deva arrived at the Yagna shaala, Bali welcomed him, offered 'Arghya', 'Aasana', Puja and offered him limitless gold, jewellery, elephants, horses, cows, women, clothes, bunches of villages or townships or whatever would be his wish! Vamana Deva replied smilingly: *Mamagnisharanaarthaaya dehi Rajan Padatrayam, Suvarnagraamaratnaadi tadarthibhyah pradeeyataam*/ (Raja! Please provide to me three feet of land to enable me to set up an Agni- Shaala). Bali said that after all three feet would be nothing as he could ask for a lakh of feet which could be given away, but Vamana Deva replied that he was indeed satisfied with that much of Bhumi and if the King were to offer more he might as well provide

to the other needy! Bali Chakravarti readily agreed not understanding the implication and as the deed of Daana was being executed and Vamana Deva extended his hand to the King and expanded his Vamana Rupa gradually immediately: Instantly, Vamana Murti displayed his Virat Swarupa: Chandra and Surya were his two Eyes, Shy was his head, Prithvi his feet, Pishachaas were his foot-fingers, Gruhyakaas were his hand fingers, Vishwa Deva Ganaas were in his jaanus /knees,Sadhyas were his janghaas, Yakshaas were his nails, Apsarsaas were his palm lines, Nakshatras were his Eye sight, Surya kiranas were his hairs, Stars were his body hairs, Maharshiganaas were in the hair roots, Vidishas were his hands, Dishaas were his ears, Ashwini Kumars were his faculty of hearing, Vayu was his nose, Chandra Deva was his joking faculty, Dharma Deva was his thinking capacity, Satya was his voice and Saraswati was his tongue, Deva Mata Aditi was his neck, Vidya was his valiyaas or long poles; Pushas were his eye brows, Swarga dwar was his anus, Vaishvanara his face, Prajapati his vrushanaas, Param Brahma was his heart, Kashyapa Muni was his Pumstwa, Vasu Devata was his back, Marutganaas were his Sandhis, Rudra was his Vakshasthala, Mahaarnavaa was his Dhairya, Gangharvas were in his stomach; Lakshmi, Medha, Dhruti, Kaanti and all Vidyaas were in his 'Kati Pradesha'; the luster and radiance in the total Universe as also the Tapo teja or the power of meditation was the reflection of the magnificence of Natayana; Vedas and Sciptures and the huge Yagnaas and the Sacred Deeds of the Virtuous like Maharshis and Brahmanas were all inside in his 'kukshi' or belly. On viewing the Paramatma's 'Virat Swarupa', the so called 'Mahaasuraas' referred to earlier in ignorance by Chakravarti Bali before Prahlada's curse to him got burnt off like flies before a gigantic out berak of Fire! Having thus occupied the Universe in totality including the sub-terrain Sapta Paatalaas, Vamana Deva stated that since Bali took the water in his hand and donated the THREE FEET of Land, and blessed him to be the King of the Sapta Paatalaas and granted him long life till the end of Manvantara of the on-going Vaisawata Manu. He also blessed Bali that all the 'Homa Phalas' at the time of Shraddhas to be performed even by Brahmanas, besides incomplete and defective Vratas, Agni Kaaryaas without ghee, and Kusha grass roots as also the daanas without detachment would belong to Bali and his followers].

Sarga Forty One

Sugriva as totally absorbed in the singular task of 'Sitanveshana' and having already despatched one force of Vanaraas to 'purva disha' now forwards another batch to 'dakshina disha'

Tataḥ prasthāpya sugrīvas tan mahad vānaram balam, dakṣiṇām preṣayām āsa vānarān abhilakṣitān/ nīlam agnisutam caiva hanumantam ca vānaram, pitāmahasutam caiva jāmbavantam mahākapim/ suhotram ca śarīram ca śaragulmam tathaiva ca, gajam gavāksam gavayam susenam ṛsabham tathā/ maindam ca dvividam caiva vijayam gandhamādanam, ulkāmukham asangam ca hutāsana sutāv ubhau/ angadapramukhān vīrān vīrah kapiganeśvarah, vegavikramasampannān samdideśa viśesavit/ teṣām agreşaram caiva mahad balam asamgagam, vidhāya harivīrāṇām ādiśad dakṣiṇām diśam/ ye ke cana samuddeśās tasyām diśi sudurgamāh, kapīśah kapimukhyānām sa tesām tān udāharat/ sahasraśirasam vindhyam nānādrumalatāyrtam, narmadām ca nadīm durgām mahoraganisevitām/ tato godāyarīm ramyām kṛṣṇāveṇīm mahānadīm, varadām ca mahābhāgām mahoraganiṣevitām/ mekhalān utkalāms caiva daśārnanagarāny api, avantīm abhravantīm ca sarvam evānupaśyata/ vidarbhān rsikāms caiva ramyān māhisakān api, tathā baṅgān kaliṅgāṁś ca kauśikāṁś ca samantatah/anvīksya dandakāranyaṁ saparvatanadīguham, nadīm godāvarīm caiva sarvam evānupasvata/ tathaivāndhrāms ca pundrāms ca colān pāṇḍyān sakeralān, ayomukhaś ca gantavyaḥ parvato dhātumaṇḍitaḥ/ vicitraśikharaḥ śrīmāmś citrapuspitakānanah, sacandanavanoddeśo mārgitavyo mahāgirih/ tatas tām āpagām divyām prasannasalilām śivām, tatra draksyatha kāverīm vihrtām apsaroganaih/ tasyāsīnam nagasyāgre malayasya mahaujasam,draksyathādityasamkāśam agastyam rsisattamam/ tatas tenābhyanujñātāh prasannena mahātmanā, tāmraparnīm grāhajustām tarisyatha mahānadīm/ sā candanavanair divyaih pracchannā dvīpa śālinī, kānteva yuvatih kāntam samudram avagāhate/ tato hemamayam divyam muktāmaṇivibhūṣitam, yuktam kavātam pāndyānām gatā drakṣyatha vānarāḥ/ tatah samudram āsādya sampradhārvārthaniścavam, agastvenāntare tatra sāgare vinivesitah/citranānānagah śrīmān mahendrah parvatottamah, jātarūpamayah śrīmān avagādho mahārnavam/ nānāvidhair nagaih phullair latābhiś copaśobhitam, devarsiyaksapravarair apsarobhiś ca sevitam/ siddhacāranasamghaiś ca prakīrnam sumanoharam, tam upaiti sahasrākṣaḥ sadā parvasu parvasu/ dvīpas tasyāpare pāre śatayojanam āyataḥ, agamyo mānuṣair dīptas tam mārgadhvam samantataḥ, tatra sarvātmanā sītā mārgitavyā viśesatah/ sa hi deśas tu vadhyasya rāvanasya durātmanah, rāksasādhipater vāsah sahasrāksasa madyuteḥ/ dakṣiṇasya samudrasya madhye tasya tu rākṣasī,aṅgāraketi vikhyātā chāyām ākṣipya bhojinī/ tam atikramya lakṣmīvān samudre śatayojane, giriḥ puṣpitako nāma siddhacāraṇasevitaḥ/ candra sūryāmśu samkāśah sāgarāmbusamāvrtah, bhrājate vipulaih śrṅgair ambaram vilikhann iva/ tasvaikam kāñcanam śrngam sevate yam divākarah, śvetam rājatam ekam ca sevate yam niśākarah/ na tam kṛtaghnāh paśyanti na nṛśaṃsā na nāstikāh, pranamya śirasā śailaṃ taṃ vimārgata vānarāh/ tam atikramya durdharsāh sūryavān nāma parvatah, adhvanā durvigāhena yojanāni caturdaśa/ tatas tam apy atikramya vaidyuto nāma parvatah, sarvakāmaphalair vṛksaih sarvakālamanoharaih/ tatra bhuktvā varārhāṇi mūlāni ca phalāni ca, madhūni pītvā mukhyāni param gacchata vānarāḥ/tatra netramanaḥkāntaḥ kuñjaro nāma parvata, agastyabhavanam yatra nirmitam viśvakarmaṇā/ tatra vojanavistāram ucchritam daśavojanam, śaranam kāñcanam divvam nānāratnavibhūsitam/tatra bhogavatī nāma sarpāṇām ālayaḥ purī, viśālarathyā durdharṣā sarvataḥ parirakṣitā,rakṣitā pannagair ghorais tīkṣṇadamṣṭrair mahāviṣaiḥ/ sarparājo mahāghoro yasyām vasati vāsukiḥniryāya mārgitavyā ca sā ca bhogavatī purī/ tam ca deśam atikramya mahān rṣabhasamsthitaḥ, sarvaratnamayaḥ śrīmān rṣabho nāma parvatah/ gośīrsakam padmakam ca hariśyāmam ca candanam, divyam utpadyate yatra tac caivāgnisamaprabham/ na tu tac candanam dṛṣṭvā sprasṭavyam ca kadā cana, rohitā nāma gandharvā ghorā rakṣanti tad vanam/ tatra gandharvapatayaḥ pañcasūryasamaprabhāḥ,śailūṣo grāmaṇīr bhikṣuḥ śubhro babhrus tathaiva ca/ ante prthivyā durdharṣās tatra svargajitaḥ sthitāḥ tataḥ param na vaḥ sevyah pitrlokah sudārunah, rājadhānī yamasyaisā kastena tamasāvrtā/ etāvad eva yusmābhir vīrā vānarapumgavāh, śakyam vicetum gantum vā nāto gatimatām gatih/ sarvam etat samālokya yac cānyad api dṛśyate, gatim viditvā vaidehyāh samnivartitam arhatha/ yas tu māsān nivṛtto 'gre dṛstā sīteti vaksyati, mattulyavibhavo bhogaih sukham sa viharisyati/tatah priyataro nāsti mama prānād viśesatah, kṛtāparādho bahuśo mama bandhur bhaviṣyati/ amitabalaparākramā bhavanto; vipulaguṇeṣu kuleṣu ca prasūtāh, manujapatisutām vathā labhadhvam; tad adhigunam purusārtham ārabhadhvam/

Having despatched one part of Vanara sena to the eastern side of Bharata desha then Sugriva instructed another significant segment of vanara veeras to the southern side having duly explained them of the relevant information. These Maha Veeras included Agni purtra Neela, Vayu Putra Hanuman, Brahma putra Jambavaan, Suhotra, Sharaari, Sharagulma, Gaja, Gavaaksha, Gavaya, Sushena the father of Tara Devi, Vrishabha, Mainda, Dvivida, Suushena the close associate of Sugriva, Gandhamaadana, the two sons of Hutaashna the Fire consumer viz. Ulkamukha and Ananda all under the directives of Yuva Raja Angada. Sugriva addressed the Maha Veeras! You may like to keep shifting your positions alternatively and visit Vindhya Parvata, the river beds of Narmada dominated by serpents, the fertile yielding agricultural lands of Godavari, Maha Nadi, Krishna, besides the nagaras like Mekhala, Ukala, Dasharna, Abrayanti, Avantipura and so on. Then you may also distribute your duties of places like Vidarbha, Rishtika, Mahishaka desha, Vanga or Matyta Desha, Kalinga, Kaushika, and the related mountains-riverscaves; you may also distibute duties to Godavari related places, Andhra, Kalinga, Punda, Chela, Pandya and Kerala deshaas too. Then the many 'dhaatu samriddha' Adhomukha or 'Malaya' parvata caves be properly searched for Devi Sita's whereabouts. Then pavitra Kaveri River be too visited as known for Apsaras bathing on their 'ghaats.' Do make sure that the party would visit Agastraashrama too situated of Malaya Parvata Shikhara. Having secured the Maharshi's consentful blessings, the Maha Nadi 'Taamraparna' be bathed in and crossed. Deepastasyaa pāre śatayojanam āyataḥ, agamyo mānuşair dīptas tam mārgadhvam samantatah, tatra sarvātmanā sītā mārgitavyā viśeṣatah/ sa hi deśas tu vadhyasya rāvanasya durātmanah, rāksasādhipater vāsah sahasrāksasa madyuteh/ daksinasya samudrasya madhye tasya tu rāksasī,angāraketi vikhyātā chāyām āksipya bhojinī/ Vanara Mitras! On crossing the Maha Samudra, ther is an Island with an area of an estimated hundred yojanas which is unreachable to human or other species like Vanaras but some how penetrate into that area even singly;

that is the place of control by the mighty Ravanasura as all our suspicions are strong the Devi Sita might be there itself, even when the maha sena ought not to take chances as possibly she might be quite elsewhere. Be it alerted however, that some where in the mid ocean is protected by a Maha Rakshasi named Angaraka who protects outsiders to go anywhere near the Ravana Rajya. It is that very Rakshasi who is notorious to vision the shade of any body seeking to approach Lanka could drag and kill even by the suspect's body shadow, drags and kills. As the Lanka dwipa too is a suspected place required for 'Sitaanveshana', that place should be searched thoroughly even in all the nooks and corners. In fact there is 'Pushpitaka' named parvata where Siddha-Chaaranas and its peak is revered by them; there are two peaks on the mountain top as when is golden and another silveren; the Siddha Charanaas worship Surya at the golden peak in the day times and Chandra at the silveren peak in the nights. Indeed, kritaghnans or the ungrateful and nastikas would not be able to visualise the mountain peaks. Vanaras! You must bend down your heads and with firm resolve, you should seek to see where Devi Sita might have been kept in that city if at all. There is another parvata by name 'Vidyuta'. That mountain is blessed with ample supply of sweet and delicious fruits aplenty. Also there is yet another mountain named 'kunjara' where there is the ashram of Maharshi Agastva being a third resident place for him where there is a reputed ratna palace. It on that very mountain there is a Sarpa nivaasa nagari called Bhogavati protecting Maharshis in deep tapasya by 'Sarpas'. In fact Sarpa Raja 'Vaasuki' of Kurmavataara fame helped 'amrita mathana'! Yet another parvata named 'Rishabha' where treasures Nava Ratnas are aplenty such as Gosheershaka-Padmaka-Harishyamas but is essentially surfiet with chanana vrikshas or sandalwood trees! It is that Parvata shikhara which is protected by Gandharvas named 'Rohitas'. These are five gandharvas named Shalush, Graamani-Shiksha-Shuka and Babhru. At the end of Bharata desha, there were Mahatmas with the ready authority to swarga nivasa, but and there -beyond, the belief was that the fearful 'pitru loka' would exist and farther beyond the Yama loka and the narakas. Hence the search by way of 'Sitaanveshana' might be terminated as far as the search was concerned.' Then Sugriva concluded to those Vanara Patriots: yas tu māsān nivṛtto 'gre dṛstā sīteti vaksyati, mattulyavibhavo bhogaih sukham sa viharisyati/tatah priyataro nāsti mama prānād viśesatah, kṛtāparādho bahuśo mama bandhur bhavisyati/ I am giving a month's time for 'Sitanveshana' and give me the fantastic information that Devi Sita has been spotted at that place; whosoever could declare that intimation that Devi Sita was found at that spot then that glorious person should be entitled to 'bhoga bhgaagyas' everthereafter!

Sarga Forty Two

<u>Sugriva who despatched another strong contingent of Vanara Warriors to the southern direction, now</u> commissions a batch to the Western Side along with Sushena explaining probable areas for 'Sitanveshana'

Tataḥ prasthāpya sugrīvas tān harīn dakṣiṇām diśam, buddhivikramasampannān vāyuvegasamāñjave/ athāhūya mahātejāḥ suṣeṇam nāma yūthapam, tārāyāḥ pitaram rājā śvaśurabhīmavikramam/ abravīt prāñjalir vākvam abhigamva pranamva ca, sāhāvvam kuru rāmasva krtve 'smin samupasthite' vrtah satasahasrena vānarānām tarasvinām, abhigaccha disam saumva pascimām vārunīm prabho/surāstrān saha bāhlīkāñ śūrābhīrāms tathaiva ca, sphītāñjanapadān ramyān vipulāni purāṇi ca/ pumnāgagahanam kuksim bahuloddālakākulam, tathā ketakasandām's ca mārgadhvam hariyūthapāh/ pratyak srotogamā's caiva nadyah śītajalāh śivāh, tāpasānām aranyāni kāntārā girayaś ca ye/ girijālāvṛtām durgām mārgitvā paścimām diśam, tatah paścimam āsādya samudram drastum arhatha, timi nakrāyuta jalam aksobhyam atha vānarah/ tatah ketakaṣaṇḍeṣu tamālagahaneṣu ca, kapayo vihariṣyanti nārikelavaneṣu ca/ tatra sītām ca mārgadhvam nilayam rāvaņasya ca, marīcipattanam caiva ramyam caiva jatīpuram/ avantīm angalopām ca tathā cālakṣitam vanam, rāṣṭrāṇi ca viśālāni pattanāni tatas tatah sindhusāgarayoś caiva samgame tatra parvataḥ, mahān hemagirir nāma śataśṛṅgo mahādrumaḥ/ tasya prastheṣu ramyeṣu simhāh paksagamāh sthitāh, timimatsyagajām's caiva nīdāny āropayanti te/ tāni nīdāni simhānām giriśṛṅgagatāś ca ye, dṛptās tṛptāś ca mātaṅgās toyadasvananihsvanāh, vicaranti viśāle 'smims toyapūrņe samantataḥ/ tasya śrɨngam divasparśam kāñcanam citrapādapam, sarvam āśu vicetavyam kapibhih kāmarūpibhih/kotim tatra samudre tu kāñcanīm satavojanam, durdarsām parivātrasva gatā

draksyatha vānarāh/kotyas tatra caturvimsad gandharvānām tarasvinām, vasanty agninikāsānām ghorānām kāmarūpinām/ nātyāsādayitavyās te vānarair bhīmavikramaih, nādeyam ca phalam tasmād deśāt kim cit plavamgamaiḥ/ durāsadā hi te vīrāh sattvavanto mahābalāḥ, phalamūlāni te tatra rakṣante bhīmavikramāḥ/ tatra yatnaś ca kartavyo mārgitavyā ca jānakī, na hi tebhyo bhayam kim cit kapitvam anuvartatām/ caturbhāge samudrasva cakravān nāma parvatah, tatra cakram sahasrāram nirmitam viśvakarmaṇā/ tatra pañcajanam hatvā hayagrīvam ca dānavam, ājahāra tataś cakram śankham ca puruṣottamaḥ/ tasya sānuṣu citreṣu viśālāsu guhāsu ca, rāvaṇaḥ saha vaidehyā mārgitavyas tatas tataḥ/ yojanāni catuḥṣaṣṭir varāho nāma parvataḥ, suvarṇaṣṛṅgaḥ suśrīmān agādhe varuṇālaye/ tatra prāgjyotisam nāma jātarūpamayam puram, yasmin vasti dustātmā narako nāma guhāsu ca/tasya sānusu citresu viśālāsu guhāsu ca, rāvanah saha vaidehyā mārgitavyas tatas tatah/tam atikramya śailendram kāñcanāntaranirdarah, parvatah sarvasauvarno dhārā prasravanāyutah/ tam gajāś ca varāhāś ca simhā vyāghrāś ca sarvatah, abhigarjanti satatam tena śabdena darpitāh/ tasmin harihayah śrīmān mahendrah pākaśāsanaḥ, abhiṣiktaḥ surai rājā meghavān nāma parvatah/ tam atikramya śailendram mahendraparipālitam, şastim girisahasrāņi kāñcanāni gamisyatha/ taruņādityavarņāni bhrājamānāni sarvatah, jātarūpamayair vrksaih śobhitāni supuspitaih/ tesām madhye sthito rājā merur uttamaparvatah, ādityena prasannena śailo dattavaraḥ purā/ tenaivam uktaḥ śailendraḥ sarva eva tvadāśrayāḥ, matprasādād bhavişyanti divārātrau ca kāñcanāḥ/ tvayi ye cāpi vatsyanti devagandharvadānavāḥ, te bhavisyanti raktāś ca prabhayā kāñcanaprabhāh/ ādityā vasavo rudrā marutaś ca divaukasah, āgamya paścimām samdhyām merum uttamaparvatam/ ādityam upatisthanti taiś ca sūryo 'bhipūjitah, adrśyah sarvabhūtānām astam gacchati parvatam/ yojanānām sahasrāni daśatāni divākarah, muhūrtārdhena tam śīghram abhiyāti śiloccayam/ śrnge tasya mahad divyam bhavanam sūryasamnibham, prāsādaguņa sambādham vihitam viśvakarmaṇā/śobhitam tarubhiś citrair nānāpakṣisamākulaiḥ, niketam pāśahastasya varunasya mahātmanah/ antarā merum astam ca tālo daśaśirā mahān, jātarūpamayah śrīmān bhrājate citravedikah/ tesu sarvesu durgesu sarahsu ca saritsu ca, rāvanah saha vaidehyā mārgitavyas tatas tatah/yatra tisthati dharmātmā tapasā svena bhāvitah, merusāvarnir ity eva khyāto vai brahmanā samah/ prastavyo merusāvarnir maharsih sūryasamnibhah, pranamya śirasā bhūmau pravṛttim maithilīm prati/ etāvaj jīvalokasya bhāskaro rajanīkṣaye, kṛtvā vitimiram sarvam astam gacchati parvatam/ etāvad vānaraiḥ śakyam gantum vānarapumgavāḥ, abhāskaram amaryādam na jānīmas tatah param/ adhigamya tu vaidehīm nilayam rāvanasya ca, astam parvatam āsādya pūrne māse nivartata/ ūrdhvam māsān na vastavyam vasan vadhyo bhaven mama, sahaiva śūro yuṣmābhiḥ śvaśuro me gamisyati/ śrotavyam sarvam etasya bhavadbhir dista kāribhih, gurur esa mahābāhuh śvaśuro me mahābalah/ bhavantaś cāpi vikrāntāh pramānam sarvakarmasu, pramānam enam samsthāpya paśyadhyam paścimām diśam/ drstāyām tu narendrasyā patnyām amitatejasah, krtakrtyā bhavisyāmah kṛtasya pratikarmanā/ato 'nyad api yat kim cit kāryasyāsya hitam bhavet,sampradhārya bhavadbhiś ca deśakālārthasamhitam/ tatah susena pramukhāh plavamgamāh; sugrīvavākyam nipuṇam niśamya, āmantrya sarve plavagādhipam te; jagmur diśam tām varuṇābhiguptām/

Having despacthed a contingent of Vanara Sena including Nala, Hanuman and Jambavan in the southern direction, he then commissioned another that included Devi Tara's father and Sushena his own son in law, as the latter was of megha varna and maha parakrami. Besides, Marichi Maharshi's sons Archishmaan and Archirmalya of the fame and bravery of Indra himself. He addressed the contingent to Sourashtra, Baahveeka, Chandrachitta and Kukshi deshas. These areas are full of cold and ever flowing rivers and excellent crops, besides insurmountable mountain range. The Pashchima Deshas are along side the Western Ocean with rebellious pull and deep sweep known for Timi named giant sized fish locatable even from short distances. The long western mountain range, although disconnected at places on the coastline is worthy of 'Sitaanveshana'; and so are the crowdsful of cities and townships of Muravipattan or Morvi, Avanti, Jatapura, Adlepaapuri and so on besided the forests therearound. 'Somagiri' was another mountain with sky high shikharaas. Do note Vanaras! Some of the 'shikharas' of Somagiri of some twenty four crores of Gandharvas are stated to reside and better to avoid those areas for 'Sitanveshana'. Another illustrious mountain range named 'Paritraata' and there besides is the 'Vajra naama Parvata' well known with the color of Vaidurya Manis. Then there is 'Chakravan Parvata' famed as the 'Sahasraara

chakra giri' replete with deep and dark caves which Vishvakatma constructed. Further on was 'Varaha Parvata' with golden 'shikharas'. Just adjacent was situated the golden city 'Pragjoshika Nagar' where the ill famed Narakasura ruled. In the same line of mountains was 'Medhagiri' where Indra used to rest on earth amid gardens of golden trees with fantastic range of scented flowers and celestial fruits; as these mountains are in any way unreachable, they couldbe omitted for Sitanveshana. Similarly Meru mountain too unreachable. etāvad vānaraiḥ śakyam gantum vānarapumgavāḥ, abhāskaram amaryādam na jānīmas tataḥ param/ adhigamya tu vaidehīm nilayam rāvaṇasya ca, astam parvatam āsādya pūrṇe māse nivartata/ ūrdhvam māsān na vastavyam vasan vadhyo bhaven mama, sahaiva śūro yuṣmābhiḥ śvaśuro me gamiṣyati/ Vanara shiromanis! Vaanars could possiblly reach upto these deshas, forests, mountains, and water flows and having visited thus would be required to return as soon as possible but not beyond a month.' Thus Sushana and other Vanara yoddhaas were adequately briefed by Vanara King Sugriva to report back about the resuldent news of Devi Sita's whereabouts.

Sarga Forty Three

Sugriva explains the significance of the northern direction for Sitanveshana under the leadership of Shatabali of several 'vaanara veeraas'.

Tatah samdiśya sugrīvah śvaśuram paścimām diśam, vīram śatabalim nāma vānaram vānararsabhah/ uvāca rājā mantrajñah sarvavānarasammatam, vākyam ātmahitam caiva rāmasya ca hitam tathā/ vṛtah śatasahasrena tvadvidhānām vanaukasām, vaivasvata sutaih sārdham pratisthasva svamantribhih diśam hy udīcīm vikrāntām himaśailāvatamsakām, sarvatah parimārgadhvam rāmapatnīm aninditām asmin kārye vinivrtte krte dāśaratheh priye, rnān muktā bhavisyāmah krtārthārthavidām varāh/ krtam hi priyam asmākam rāghavena mahātmanā, tasva cet pratikāro 'sti saphalam jīvitam bhavet etām buddhim samāsthāya dṛśyate jānakī yathā, tathā bhavadbhih kartavyam asmatpriyahitaisibhih/ ayam hi sarvabhūtānām mānyas tu narasattamah, asmāsu cāgataprītī rāmah parapuramjayah/ imāni vanadurgāṇi nadyaḥ śailāntarāṇi ca, bhavantaḥ parimārgams tu buddhivikramasampadā/ tatra mlecchān pulindām's ca śūrasenām's tathaiva ca, prasthālān bharatām's caiva kurūm's ca saha madrakaih/ kāmbojān vavanāms caiva sakān ārattakān api, bāhlīkān rsikāms caiva pauravān atha tankanān/ cīnān paramacīnāms ca nīhārāms ca punaḥ punaḥ, anviṣya daradāms caiva himavantam vicinvatha/ lodhrapadmakasandesu devadāruvanesu ca, rāvanah saha vaidehya mārgitavyas tatas tatah tatah somāśramam gatvā devagandharvasevitam, kālam nāma mahāsānum parvatam tam gamisyatha/ mahatsu tasya śrngesu nirdaresu guhāsu ca, vicinudhvam mahābhāgām rāmapatnīm yaśasvinīm/ tam atikramya śailendram hemavargam mahāgirim, tatah sudarśanam nāma parvatam gantum arhatha/ tasya kānanaṣaṇḍeṣu nirdareṣu guhāsu ca, rāvaṇaḥ saha vaidehyā mārgitavyas tatas tataḥ tam atikramya cākāśam sarvatah śatayojanam,aparvatanadī vṛkṣam sarvasattvavivarjitam/ tam tu śīghram atikramya kāntāram romaharşanam, kailāsam pānduram sailam prāpya hṛṣṭā bhaviṣyatha/ tatra pāndura meghābham jāmbūnadapariskrtam, kuberabhavanam divvam nirmitam viśvakarmanā/ viśālā nalinī vatra prabhūtakamalotpalā, hamsakārandavākīrnā apsaroganasevitā/ tatra vaiśravano rājā sarvabhūta namaskṛtaḥ, dhanado ramate śrīmān guhyakaiḥ saha yakṣarāṭ/ tasya candranikaśeṣu parvateṣu guhāsu ca, rāvanah saha vaidehyā mārgitavyas tatas tatah/ krauñcam tu girim āsādya bilam tasya sudurgamam, apramattaih pravestavyam duspraveśam hi tat smrtam/ vasanti hi mahātmānas tatra sūryasamaprabhāh, devair apy arcitāh samyag devarūpā maharsayah/krauñcasya tu guhāś cānyāh sānūni śikharāni ca, nirdarāś ca nitambāś ca vicetavyās tatas tataḥ/ krauñcasya śikharam cāpi nirīkṣya ca tatas tataḥ, avṛkṣam kāmaśailam ca mānasam vihagālayam/ na gatis tatra bhūtānām devadānavarakṣasām, sa ca sarvair vicetavyaḥ sasānuprasthabhūdharah/ krauñcam girim atikramya maināko nāma parvataḥ, mayasya bhavanam tatra dānavasya svayam kṛtam/ mainākas tu vicetavyaḥ sasānuprasthakandaraḥ, strīnām aśvamukhīnām ca niketās tatra tatra tu/ tam deśam samatikramya āśramam siddhasevitam, siddhā vaikhānasās tatra vālakhilyāś ca tāpasāh/ vandyās te tu tapahsiddhās tāpasā vītakalmasāh, prastavyāś cāpi sītāyāh pravrttam vinayānvitaih/ hemapuskarasamchannam tatra vaikhānasam sarah, tarunādityasamkāśair hamsair vicaritam śubhaih/ aupavāhyah kuberasya sarvabhauma iti smrtah, gajah

paryeti tam deśam sadā saha karenubhih/ tat sārah samatikramya nastacandradivākaram, anaksatraganam vyoma nispayodam anādimat/ gabhastibhir ivārkasya sa tu deśah prakāśate, viśrāmyadbhis tapaḥ siddhair devakalpaiḥ svayamprabhaiḥ/ taṁ tu deśam atikramya śailodā nāma nimnagā, ubhayos tīrayor yasyāḥ kīcakā nāma veṇavaḥ/ te nayanti param tīram siddhān pratyānayanti ca, uttarāh kuravas tatra krtapunyapratiśrivāh/ tatah kāñcanapadmābhih padminībhih krtodakāh, nīlavaidūryapatrādhyā nadyas tatra sahasraśah/ raktotpalavanaiś cātra manditāś ca hiranmayaih, taruṇādityasadṛśair bhānti tatra jalāśayāḥ/ mahārhamaṇipatraiś ca kāñcanaprabha kesaraiḥ, nīlotpalavanaiś citraih sa deśah sarvatovrtah/ nistulābhiś ca muktābhir manibhiś ca mahādhanaih, udbhūtapulinās tatra jātarūpais ca nimnagāh/sarvaratnamayais citrair avagādhā nagottamaih, jātarūpamayaiś cāpi hutāśanasamaprabhaih/ nityapuspaphalāś cātra nagāh patrarathākulāh, divyagandharasasparśāh sarvakāmān sravanti ca/nānākārāni vāsāmsi phalanty anye nagottamāh, muktāvaidūryacitrāni bhūsanāni tathaiva ca/ strīnām yāny anurūpāni purusānām tathaiva ca, sarvartusukhasevyāni phalanty anye nagottamāh/ mahārhāṇi vicitrāni haimāny anye nagottamāh, śayanāni prasūyante citrāstāraṇavanti ca/ manaḥkāntāni mālyāni phalanty atrāpare drumāḥ, pānāni ca mahārhāni bhaksyāni vividhāni ca/ strivaś ca gunasampannā rūpayauvanalaksitāh, gandharyāh kimnarā siddhā nāgā vidyādharās tathā, ramante sahitās tatra nārībhir bhāskaraprabhāḥ sarve sukṛtakarmāṇaḥ sarve ratiparāyaṇāḥ, sarve kāmārthasahitā vasanti saha yoṣitaḥ/ gītavāditranirghoṣaḥ sotkṛstahasitasvanah, śrūyate satatam tatra sarvabhūtamanoharah/tatra nāmuditah kaś cin nāsti kaś cid asatpriyah, ahany ahani vardhante gunās tatra manoramāh/ samatikramya tam deśam uttaras toyasām nidhih, tatra somagirir nāma madhye hemamayo mahān/indralokagatā ye ca brahmalokagatāś ca ye, devās tam samavekṣante girirājam divam gatam/ sa tu deśo visūryo 'pi tasya bhāsā prakāśate, sūryalakṣmyābhivijñeyas tapaseva vivasvatā/bhagavān api viśvātmā śambhur ekādaśātmakaḥ, brahmā vasati deveśo brahmarşiparivāritaḥ/ na katham cana gantavyam kurūṇām uttareṇa vaḥ, anyeṣām api bhūtānām nātikrāmati vai gatih/ sā hi somagirir nāma devānām api durgamah, tam ālokya tatah ksipram upāvartitum arhatha/ etāvad vānaraih śakyam gantum vānarapumgavāh, abhāskaram amaryādam na jānīmas tatah param/ sarvam etad vicetavyam yan mayā parikīrtitam, yad anyad api noktam ca tatrāpi kriyatām matiḥ/ tataḥ kṛtam dāśarather mahat priyam; mahattaram cāpi tato mama priyam, kṛtam bhavisyaty anilānalopamā; videhajā darśanajena karmanā/ tatah krtārthāh sahitāh sabāndhavā; mayārcitāh sarvagunair manoramaih, carisyathoryīm pratiśāntaśatrayah; sahapriyā bhūtadharāh plavamgamāḥ/

Having commissioned Vanarashreshthas to the western and southern directions already, Sugriva felt that it should be necessary to the northern side too and asked his son in law Shatabali. He explained as to how he was greatly indebted by him to Shri Rama as the latter did the greatest help to him personally for accomplishing him the kingdom and swore him to possiblly help Rama to help recover Devi Sita from the clutches of Rananaasura and as the very initial step to locate her whereabouts. It was in this context, the efforts for 'Sitanveshana' in the northern direction be initiated. Sugriva further explained Shatabali and followers that in the northern direction were the kingdoms of Mlecchha, Pulinda, Shurasena, Prasthala, Kuru, Madra, Kamboja, Yayana, Shaka Deshas. Beyond those kingdoms would be the vast Himalaya ranges all to be searched by Vanara Pramukhyas. Later on, Padmaka water flows, deodara forests, the Somashrama as venerated by Gandharvas, Kaala named Partvata and the various caves, Devasakha mountain full of birds and considerable 'vriksha sampada' be searched too. That area beyond a vast plain lands would follow for about hundred yojanas where rivers-mountains, big trees and jeeva jantus would not be visible as that would be a barren land. On further pursuing the vast area, would be sighted the shveta varna 'kailasa parvata'! Vishvakarma is stated to have constructed a fabulous swarna bhavana for Lord Kubera's vacation stay. viśālā nalinī yatra prabhūtakamalotpalā, hamsakāraņḍavākīrņā apsarogaņasevitā/ tatra vaiśravaņo rājā sarvabhūta namaskrtah, dhanado ramate śrīmān guhyakaiḥ saha yaksarāt/ tasya candranikasesu parvatesu guhāsu ca, rāvanah saha vaidehyā mārgitavyas tatas tatah/Then one could reach on the kailasa parvata the renowned 'Manasarovara,' in which lotuses are available aplenty and water birds like swans and 'karandas' too and apsaras are stated to bathe in that sarovara. That is stated to the Celelestial Lake where Apsarasaas perform their 'jala kreedas'.

[Vishleshana on Manasa Sarovara

Janmoushadhi tapomantra yoga siddhairetaraih, Jushtam kinnaragandharvair – apsarobhi vritam sadaa/(Only blessed persons who are Siddhas and Tapodhanas, Parama Yogis, besides Kinnara, Gandharva, Apsaras and such Celestial Beings could have their abodes at Manasarovara). Hari Vamsha which is a component of Skanda Purana makes a detailed reference to this outstanding Maha Tirtha and an unparalleled Sidhha Kshetra) Manasarovar waters are crystal clear of bluish tinge and the Lake is of the shape of an egg stated to have spread over some 15 km. This is one of the Fifty One Shakti Peethas where the right wrist bracelets of Devi Sati's 'jeerna sharir' fell as Lord Vishnu's Sudarsham Chakra sliced off the body parts at the Daksha Yagna so that Maha Deva's fury would otherwise have continued at the sight of the body. The Devi at this Shakti Peetha is known as Gayatri and Maha Bhairava is called Sarvanand. In this heavenly Lake, thousands of swans fly along and across, some of crystal white colour stated to be 'Raja Hamsas' or Royal White Compexion and the rest of off-white colour. It is believed that at times, natural pearls too are available in the sweet and none too chilled cold waters of the Celestial Lake with plenty of multi-coloured stones and prism like pebbles. There is not much of greenery on the banks and in fact not many trees and flowers up the Mount. Mount Kailas is about 12 km up the Mansarovara. Even while appoaching the Kailash Dham, one can have its darshan from a distance but the Dham becomes clearer from Kungarivingari Shikhar or top of Jouhar Marg if the clouds are not obstructing the view. The people of Tibet are full of devotion to the Dham and swear to complete Parikrama of the 20 km.circumference by 'sashtangas' or prostrations and heatfelt 'namaskaras' all the way. Like Lord Shri Rama at Saketa at the Ayodhya Dham, Goloka's Vajra dhaam of Bhagavan Shri Krishna as described in great detail in Brahma Purana as also Maha Deva delineated vividly in Shiva Purana and Skanda Purana, Parama Shiva's abode is Kailasa Dham on the unique Kailasa Mount; indeed this view among the Himalaya Shikhiras is stated to be unusually distinct and unparalleled! The description of Kailasa Mount is akin to that of the Virat Shiva Linga just as the center of a Lotus with sixteen petals all around as the 'Shikhar Madhya Shringa' or the raised horn of the Mount being the centre of literally counted as fourteen Shringas. In fact the central Shringa commands spontaneous awe, vibration and arresting attentiveness subdued by ecstasy and fullness of fulfillment. As 'abhishakas' or holy baths on the 'Linga Mastaka' are led into Gauri kunda. This Maha Linga Swarupa Maha Deva is of Black Stone and its sides are all covered with layers of iced milk. This mountain alone stands out as black but all the surrounding mountains are raw brownish. Kailasa Parikrama of 20 km. is possible within three days but perhaps reaching Kailasha Shikhir of the height of 19000 ft from Sea level is worthy of endeavour by dare devil- mountaineers!]

Stanza 25 is continued:

krauñcam tu girim āsādya bilam tasya sudurgamam, apramattaih pravestavyam duspraveśam hi tat smṛtam/ vasanti hi mahātmānas tatra sūryasamaprabhāḥ, devair apy arcitāḥ samyag devarūpā maharsayah/ krauñcasya tu guhāś cānyāh sānūni śikharāni ca, nirdarāś ca nitambāś ca vicetayyās tatas tatah/Shatabali! Then you should search the caves on the krouncha mountain while its caves are perhaps none too easy to do so.In these caves Maharshi Mahatmas are dedicated to deep tapsya. In these deep caves, there are shikharas, water flows with complete peacefulness and therefore the search for Devi Sita as might have been retained by Ravanasura would need to be silent and highly discreet. Crossing the shikharas, ghats, and branch parvatas of the krouncha parvata, the Mainaka Parvata is visible where kinnara devatas abound. Crossing that are the ashrams of Siddha-Vaikhanasa-Balakhilya Tapasvis. The vanara sena chief might enquire of the whereabouts of Devi Sita very politely. There should be a Vaikhanasa Sarovara with golden lotuses and swans of 'aruna surya' colour. Crossing the sarovara would be visible the Shailada River beyond which would be the Kuru Desha and hundreds of water flows with ranges of coloured lotuses, and abundance of variegated vrikshas. In these waterflows, it is stated that the celestial women of the origins of Gandharva, Kinnara, Siddha, Naga, Vidyadharas keep enjoying bathings and kaama-kreedaas. Beyond those waterfows is Somagiri stated to be difficult to even Devatas of the earlier desriptions to be crossed. etāvad vānaraih śakyam gantum vānarapumgavāh, abhāskaram

amaryādam na jānīmas tataḥ param/ sarvam etad vicetavyam yan mayā parikīrtitam, yad anyad api noktam ca tatrāpi kriyatām matiḥ/ Shreshtha Vanaras! Now, in the northern direction, you could and should search for Devi Sita and there beyond, it might neither be plausible nor necessary to search for Devi Sita as Ravanasura too would not have been possible to do hide her in search celestial places; but might have , if at all, hidden in moumtain caves or thick forests or so. As you are all going to carry the responsibility of Shri Rama Karya nirvahana with sincerity and high devotion .

Sarga Forty Four

As Sugriva despaches the Vanara Sena to the Southern direction under the command of Yuva Raja Angada, Shri Rama gives his ring to Hanuman to possibly show to Sita Devi to recognise and trust him Viśesena tu sugrīvo hanumatyartham uktavān, sa hi tasmin hariśresthe niścitārtho 'rthasādhane/ na bhūmau nāntarikse vā nāmbare nāmarālaye, nāpsu vā gatisamgam te pasyāmi haripumgava/ sāsurāh sahagandharvāh sanāganaradevatāh, viditāh sarvalokās te sasāgaradharādharāh/gatir vegas ca tejas ca lāghavam ca mahākape, pitus te sadršam vīra mārutasya mahaujasah/ tejasā vāpi te bhūtam samam bhuvi na vidyate, tad yathā labhyate sītā tattvam evopapādaya/ tvayy eva hanumann asti balam buddhih parākramah, deśakālānuvrttaś ca navaś ca navapandita/ tatah kāryasamāsamgam avagamya hanūmati, viditvā hanumantam ca cintayām āsa rāghavaḥ/ sarvathā niścitārtho 'yam hanūmati harīśvaraḥ, niścitārthataraś cāpi hanūmān kāryasādhane/tad evam prasthitasyāsya parijñātasya karmabhiḥ, bhartrā parigrhītasya dhruvah kāryaphalodayah/ tam samīksya mahātejā vyavasāyottaram harim, kṛtārtha iva samvṛttah prahṛstendriyamānasah/ dadau tasya tatah prītah svanāmānkopaśobhitam, aṅgulīyam abhijñānam rājaputryāh paramtapah/ anena tvām hariśrestha cihnena janakātmajā, matsakāśād anuprāptam anudvignānupaśyati/ vyavasāyaś ca te vīra sattvayuktaś ca vikramaḥ, sugrīvasya ca samdeśah siddhim kathayatīva me/ sa tad grhya hariśreṣṭhaḥ sthāpya mūrdhni kṛtāñjalih, vanditvā caraṇau caiva prasthitaḥ plavagottamaḥ/ sa tat prakarṣan hariṇām balam mahad; babhūva vīraḥ pavanātmajah kapi, gatāmbude vyomni viśuddhamandalah; śaśīva naksatraganopaśobhitah/ atibalabalam āśritas tavāham; harivaravikramavikramair analpaih, pavanasuta yathābhigamyate sā; janakasutā hanumams tathā kurusva/

Sugriva no doubt had despatched 'Vanara Shreshthas' for the sacred and singular mission of 'Sitanveshana'in the eastern-southern-western- and north directions but had reposed enormous confidence in Veera Anjaneya and that he should usher in 'Rama Karya Siddhi'successfully. Sugriva had hence called Hanuman and said: 'Kapi shreshtha! I do realise that you are blessed with free movement all over Prithvi-Anrariksha-Aakaasha-Deva Lokas- Jalaas too. You possess the total know how of Asura-Gandharva-Naaga-Manushya-Devatas-Samudras-and Parvatas too. gatir vegaś ca tejaś ca lāghavam ca mahākape, pitus te sadṛśam vīra mārutasya mahaujasaḥ/ tejasā vāpi te bhūtam samam bhuvi na vidyate, tad yathā labhyate sītā tattvam evopapādaya/ tvayyeva hanumann asti balam buddhiḥ parākramaḥ, deśakālānuvṛttaś ca nayaś ca nayapaṇḍita/ Veeraanjaneya! You are too equipped with your movements , speed, tejas, capability and preparedness as in the case of your father Vayu Deva Himself. Om the face of 'bhumandala', there would be no other Being who could possibly retrieve Devi Sita for Shri Rama. Hanuman! You are a pandita of Neeti Shastra or the Principles of Morality and more significantly the efficient practitioner too as you are the symbol of bala-buddhi-paraakrama-ability of appication of desha-kaala- paristhiti of the principles.'

As Sugriva thus reposed singular confidence and faith in Anjaneya, Shri Rama too rested belief in Anjaneya. Rama had thus felt assured of Hanuman's ability and instinctively felt that he should be able to sight and contact Devi Sita some how in all probability. Rama in his heart of hearts developed confidence in Hanuman and felt happy at such extraordinary occurence of a chance. dadau tasya tatah prītah svanāmānkopaśobhitam, angulīyam abhijñānam rājaputryāḥ paramtapaḥ/anena tvām hariśreṣṭha cihnena janakātmajā, matsakāśād anuprāptam anudvignānupaśyati/vyavasāyaś ca te vīra sattvayuktaś ca vikramaḥ, sugrīvasya ca samdeśaḥ siddhim kathayatīva me/ Then Shri Rama the 'shatru vinaasha kaari' handed over to Hanuman of Rama's own golden ring himself so that as and when Hanuman would hopefully meet Devi Sita, she should believe and repose trust and confidence in Anjaneya. While so

handing over the ring, Shri Rama stated: 'Kapi shreshtha! Once you hand over this ring of mine, Devi Sita would truly trust that you are me representative only and look at you with attention. Veeranjaneya! Devi Sita would then truly understand the messages from Rama Lakshmanas and Sugriva! Vaanara shreshthaa Hanuman! Your industriousness, courage and Sugriva's assurance should never fail me.' As Rama reposed confidence in him, Anganeya kept the golden ring of Rama on his head and gaving greeted Rama's feet with veneration and left. While Hanuman was leaving, Rama said again: 'Atyanta balashaali Kapi Shreshtha! I have reposed my confidence and full trust in you. Do endeavour your very best to see and secure Sita at the very earliest. Now the best of luck to us all.

Sarga Forty Five

While despatching the four directional Vaanara Sena, the text of Sugriva's encouraging remarks were as follows:

Tad ugraśāsanam bhartur vijñāya haripumgavāḥ, śalabhā iva samchādya medinīm sampratasthire/
rāmaḥ prasravaṇe tasmin nyavasat sahalakṣmaṇaḥ, pratīkṣamāṇas tam māsam yaḥ sītādhigame kṛtaḥ/
uttarām tu diśam ramyām girirājasamāvṛtām, pratasthe sahasā vīro hariḥ śatabalis tadā, pūrvām diśam
prati yayau vinato hariyūthapaḥ/ tārāngadādi sahitaḥ plavagaḥ pavanātmajaḥ, agastyacaritām āśām
dakṣiṇām hariyūthapaḥ/ paścimām tu diśam ghorām suṣeṇaḥ plavageśvaraḥ, pratasthe hariśārdūlo
bhṛśam varuṇapālitām/ tataḥ sarvā diśo rājā codayitvā yathā tatham, kapisenā patīn mukhyān mumoda
sukhitaḥ sukham/ evam samcoditāḥ sarve rājñā vānarayūthapāḥ, svām svām diśam abhipretya tvaritāḥ
sampratasthire/ nadantaś connadantaś ca garjantaś ca plavamgamāḥ, kṣvelanto dhāvamānāś ca yayuḥ
plavagasattamāḥ, ānayiṣyāmahe sītām haniṣyāmaś ca rāvaṇam/ aham eko haniṣyāmi prāptam rāvaṇam
āhave, tataś conmathya sahasā hariṣye janakātmajām/ vepamānam śrameṇādya bhavadbhiḥ sthīyatām
iti, eka evāhariṣyāmi pātālād api jānakīm/ vidhamiṣyāmy aham vṛkṣān dārayiṣyāmy aham girīn,
dharaṇīm dārayiṣyāmi kṣobhayiṣyāmi sāgarān/ aham yojanasamkhyāyāḥ plavitā nātra samśayaḥ, śatam
yojanasamkhyāyāḥ śatam samadhikam hy aham/ bhūtale sāgare vāpi śaileṣu ca vaneṣu ca, pātālasyāpi
vā madhye na mamācchidyate gatiḥ/ ity ekaikam tadā tatra vānarā baladarpitāḥ, ūcuś ca vacanam
tasmin harirājasya samnidhau/

While addressing the Vanara veeras, Sugriva had in his mindset the truly hard feelings of Shri Rama out of his desperation despite being a 'sthitah pragina' or of self restraint and that was how to appealed to them all. Shri Rama along with Lakshmana were desperately waiting for the one month's time limit. The north bound Vaanara Veeras headed by Shatabali had pushed ahead atonce. The south bound search under the supreme command of Pavana Putra Shri Anjaneya, along with Angada hurried up instantly to the Agastya Maharshi sevita dakshina disha, as the Maharshi out of decisiveness rescued Maha Meru Parvata around which Surya Deva ever circumambulated due to the arrogance of Vindhya Mountain seeking to overgrow Maha Meru and thus having commanded Vindhya to bend down forever continued to reside in the Southern direction for good!

[Vishleshana on Agastya Maharshi and the reason for being ever residing in the Southern Bharata:

The mischievous Brahmarshi Narada provoked Vindhya Mountain creating misunderstanding against Meru Parvata around which Surya Deva circumambutates and the insignificance of its existence and encouraged Vindhya to keep growing exceeding Meru's height. As Vindhya kept higher and higher, there were obvious limitations of Meru facing its circumambulations around Surya Deva causing the days and nights in the two parts of the universe. Lord Indra approached Agasthaya Maharshi the Preceptor of Vindhya Mountain and complained. Agastya smiled and asked his wife Lopamudra and his sons Bhringi and Achyuta to pack up as the would shift their residence southward. But since his desciple Meru blocked the passage, Agastya asked Meru to bend making way for their passage and eversince neither Meru could

grow up and up, nor Agastya could cross beyond Vindhyas to maintain the natural balance and the free movement of Meru around Surya as usual.]

Stanza 7 continued: paścimām tu diśam ghorām suṣeṇaḥ plavageśvaraḥ, pratasthe hariśārdūlo bhṛśam varuṇapālitām/ tataḥ sarvā diśo rājā codayitvā yathā tatham, kapisenā patīn mukhyān mumoda sukhitaḥ sukham/ Then Vanara shreshtha Sushena moved fast vigorously towards the western side of Bharata which was guarded by Varuna Deva. Having thus despatched the Maha Vaanara Sena in all the directions, Sugriva was happy to have duly performed his duty satisfactorily and awaited the results of 'Sitanveshana'. Consequently vide stanzas 10 to 16, Maha Bali Vanaras and Yudhapati's as inspired by Sugriva the King of Vararas pushed forward to their destined directions shouting loud and high, running fast, and in full enthusiasm, excitement and ecstacy shouting shy high with the single slogan viz. ' we should most certainly bring back Devi Sita to Deva Shri Rama and devastate Ravana uprooting him and his roots for ever. You all the onlookers of these 'simha garjanaas' of th public: do keep waiting for our successful return. We would pull up maha vrikshas, break mountians to pieces, shake up the earth, dislocate ocean waves, jump up by yojanas of distances with assured promises. The natural order of earth, mountains, deep forests and pataalaas too should surely be dislocated!'

Sarga Forty Six

King Sugriva explains to Shri Rama of his own escapades of 'Bhu Bhramana' and hence his vast knowledge and memories of destinations, parvatas, oceans, rives and the geographical detailings!

Gatesu vānarendresu rāmah sugrīvam abravīt, katham bhavān vinājīte sarvam vai mandalam bhuvah/ sugrīvas tu tato rāmam uvāca pranatātmavān, śrūyatām sarvam ākhyāsye vistarena nararsabha/ yadā tu dundubhim nāma dānavam mahisākṛtim, parikālayate vālī malayam prati parvatam/ tadā viveśa mahiso malayasya guhām prati, viveša vālī tatrāpi malayam tajjighāmsayā/ tato 'ham tatra niksipto guhād vārivinītavat, na ca niṣkramate vālī tadā samvatsare gate/ tataḥ kṣatajavegena āpupūre tadā bilam, tad aham vismito drstvā bhrātr'sokavisārditah/ athāham krtabuddhis tu suvvaktam nihato guruh, śilāparvatasamkāśā biladvāri mavā krtā, aśaknuvan niskramitum mahiso vinaśed iti/ tato 'ham āgām kişkindhām nirāśas tasya jīvite, rājyam ca sumahat prāptam tārā ca rumayā saha, mitraiś ca sahitas tatra vasāmi vigatajvarah/ājagāma tato vālī hatvā tam dānavarsabham, tato 'ham adadām rājyam gauravād bhayayantritah/ sa mām jighāmsur dustātmā vālī pravyathitendriyah, parilākayate krodhād dhāvantam sacivaih saha/ tato 'ham vālinā tena sānubandhah pradhāvitah, nadīś ca vividhāh paśyan vanāni nagarāni ca/ādarśatalasamkāśā tato vai pṛthivī mayā, alātacakrapratimā dṛstā gospadavat tadā/ tatah pūrvam aham gatvā dakṣiṇām aham āśritaḥ, diśam ca paścimām bhūyo gato 'smi bhayaśankitaḥ, uttarām tu diśam yāntam hanumān mām athābravīt/ idānīm me smṛtam rājan yathā vālī harīśvarah, matangena tadā śapto hy asminn āśramamandale/ praviśed yadi vā vālī mūrdhāsya śatadhā bhavet, tatra vāsah sukho 'smākam nirudvigno bhavisvati/ tatah parvatam āsādva ršvamūkam nrpātmaja, na viveša tadā vālī mataṅgasya bhayāt tadā/ eyam mayā tadā rājan pratyaksam upalaksitam, prthiyīmandalam krtsnam guhām asmy āgatas tataḥ/

Shri Rama was rather perplexed as to how Sugriva had attained the knowledge and memory of the geographical, historical and pouranik visheshas. Then Sugriva replied: As Vaali chased Dundubhi along with his danava putra Mayavi and finally entered a parvata kandara, Vaali entered the huge cave mouth asking me to wait outside but a long one year was over. Meanwhile the cave was flooded with blood and there were shouts of Mayavi but not of Vaali. He felt fully convinced that Vaali died shouting agonised cryings genuinely, especially since Vaalis's blood was gushing out. Then genuinely enough I desired to return to Kishkindha but while doing so lifted and rolled a huge boulder as block to make sure that he could not get out forever and harass the vanaras, their next king after Vaali. But Vali returned home and hounded me out of the kingdom with the resolve of killing me mercilessly. Although I was ready to honour him with his kingship due to him anyway, he was under the deep misunderstanding that I had

purposively closed the cave with a huge boulder and convinced his ministers and the public that Vaali was dead. That was how, he chased me towards death: tato 'ham vālinā tena sānubandhah pradhāvitah, nadīś ca vividhāh paśyan vanāni nagarāṇi ca/ ādarśatalasamkāśā tato vai pṛthivī mayā, alātacakrapratimā dṛṣṭā goṣpadavat tadā/ tataḥ pūrvam aham gatvā dakṣiṇām aham āśritaḥ, diśam ca paścimām bhūvo gato 'smi bhavaśankitah, uttarām tu diśam vāntam hanumān mām athābravīt/ As Vali kept on chasing me, I had no recourse but to run ahead of him; that was how I covered crossing rivers, cities, mountains, caves and so on and was forced to perform 'bhu pradakshina' as it were covering the east, north, west and deep south till the maha sagaras on the west, east and south while upto himalayas. Then prithvi seemed to look like a circular 'chakra'. Towards the eastern direction I visioned the spectacular 'vriksha sampada', range of mountains and fantastic and endless caves, 'sarovaras' and ranges of birds, Udayachala, Ksheera sagara where Aprasas were stated to have bathed, even as Vaali was still on my run. Then as Vaali chased me still, I took to the southern direction, down to the vindhya range when chandanaadi maha vrikshas were seen but as Vaali was still on the chase I took to the west and reached up to the 'Astaachala' where Sun set occurs. Himavantam cha Merumcha tathottraram, yadaa na vinde sharanam Vaalinaa samabhidyutah, tato maamn buddhhi sampanno Hanuman vakyamabrayeet/ Even after reaching Himalayas, Meru and the northern precincts there was no relief from Vaalis's hunting and then parama buddhimaan Hanuman stated: 'Rajan! You need not have tired yourself with this 'bhu bhramana'to save yourself by the chase of Vaali; you could have merely entered Matanga Muni Ashram! All the same Shri Rama's curiosity of how Sugriva had this extraordinary awareness of what all would be available in the four distant directions of Bharata!

Sargas Forty Seven and Forty Eight

<u>Vaanara Senaas that Sugriva organised to the north-west-and eastern sectors for 'Sitanveshana' had returned disappointed with negative results; but from the southern sector were awaited still</u>

Darśanārtham tu vaidehyāḥ sarvataḥ kapiyūthapāḥ, vyādiṣṭāḥ kapirājena yathoktam jagmur añjasā/ sarāmsi saritaḥ kakṣān ākāśam nagarāṇi ca, nadīdurgāms tathā śailān vicinvanti samantataḥ/ sugrīveṇa samākhyātān sarve vānarayūthapāḥ, pradeśān pravicinvanti saśailavanakānanān/ vicintya divasam sarve sītādhigamane dhṛtāḥ, samāyānti sma medinyām niśākāleśu vānarāḥ/ sarvartukāmś ca deśeṣu vānarāḥ saphalān drumān, āsādya rajanīm śayyām cakruḥ sarveṣv ahaḥsu te/ tad ahaḥ prathamam kṛtvā māse prasravaṇam gatāḥ, kapirājena samgamya nirāśāḥ kapiyūthapāḥ/ vicitya tu diśam pūrvām yathoktām sacivaiḥ saha, adṛṣṭvā vinataḥ sītām ājagāma mahābalaḥ/ uttarām tu diśam sarvām vicitya sa mahākapiḥ, āgataḥ saha sainyena vīraḥ śatabalis tadā/ suṣeṇaḥ paścimām āśām vicitya saha vānaraiḥ, sametya māse sampūrṇe sugrīvam upacakrame/ tam prasravaṇapṛṣṭhastham samāsādyābhivādya ca, āsīnam saha rāmeṇa sugrīvam idam abruvan/ vicitāḥ parvatāḥ sarve vanāni nagarāṇi ca, nimnagāḥ sāgarāntāś ca sarve janapadās tathā/ guhāś ca vicitāḥ parvatāḥ sarve vanāni nagarāṇi ca, nimnagāḥ sāgarāntāś ca sarve janapadās tathā/ guhāś ca vicitāḥ sarvā yās tvayā parikīrtitāḥ, vicitāś ca mahāgulmā latāvitatasamtatāḥ/ gahaneṣu ca deśeṣu durgeṣu viṣameṣu ca, sattvāny atipramāṇāni vicitāni hatāni ca, ye caiva gahanā deśā vicitās te punaḥ punaḥ/ udārasattvābhijano mahātmā; sa maithilīm drakṣyati vānarendraḥ, diśam tu yām eva gatā tu sītā; tām āsthito vāyusuto hanūmān/

Sahatārāngadābhyām tu gatvā sa hanumān kapiḥ, sugrīveṇa yathoddiṣṭam tam deśam upacakrame/ sa tu dūram upāgamya sarvais taiḥ kapisattamaiḥ, vicinoti sma vindhyasya guhāś ca gahanāni ca/parvatāgrān nadīdurgān sarāmsi vipulān drumān, vṛkṣaṣaṇḍāmś ca vividhān parvatān ghanapādapān/ anveṣamāṇās te sarve vānarāḥ sarvato diśam, na sītām dadṛśur vīrā maithilīm janakātmajām/ te bhakṣayanto mūlāni phalāni vividhāni ca, anveṣamāṇā durdharṣā nyavasams tatra tatra ha, sa tu deśo duranveṣo guhāgahanavān mahān/ tyaktvā tu tam tadā deśam sarve vai hariyūthapāḥ, deśam anyam durādharṣam viviśuś cākutobhayāḥ/ yatra vandhyaphalā vṛkṣā vipuṣpāḥ parṇavarjitāḥ, nistoyāḥ sarito yatra mūlam yatra sudurlabham/ na santi mahiṣā yatra na mṛgā na ca hastinaḥ śārdūlāḥ pakṣiṇo vāpi ye cānye vanagocarāḥ/ snigdhapatrāḥ sthale yatra padminyaḥ phullapankajāḥ, prekṣaṇīyāḥ sugandhāś ca bhramaraiś cāpi varjitāh/ kandur nāma mahābhāgah satvavādī tapodhanah, maharsih paramāmarsī

niyamair duṣpradharṣaṇaḥ/tasya tasmin vane putro bālako daśavārṣikaḥ, pranaṣṭo jīvitāntāya kruddhas tatra mahāmuniḥ/ tena dharmātmanā śaptam kṛtsnam tatra mahad vanam, aśaraṇyam durādharṣam mṛgapakṣivivarjitam/ tasya te kānanāntāms tu girīṇām kandarāṇi ca, prabhavāni nadīnāmca vicinvanti samāhitāḥ/ tatra cāpi mahātmāno nāpaśyañ janakātmajām, hartāram rāvaṇam vāpi sugrīvapriyakāriṇaḥ/ te praviśya tu tam bhīmam latāgulmasamāvṛtam, dadṛśuḥ krūrakarmāṇam asuram suranirbhayam/ tam dṛṣṭvā vanarā ghoram sthitam śailam ivāparam, gāḍham parihitāḥ sarve dṛṣṭvā tam parvatopamam/ so 'pi tān vānarān sarvān naṣṭāḥ sthety abravīd balī, abhyadhāvata samkruddho muṣṭim udyamya samhitam/ tam āpatantam sahasā vāliputro 'ngadas tadā, rāvaṇo 'yam iti jñātvā talenābhijaghāna ha/ sa vāliputrābhihato vaktrāc choṇitam udvaman, asuro nyapatad bhūmau paryasta iva parvataḥ/ te tu tasmin nirucchvāse vānarā jitakāśinaḥ, vyacinvan prāyaśas tatra sarvam tad girigahvaram/ vicitam tu tataḥ kṛtvā sarve te kānanam punaḥ, anyadevāparam ghoram viviśur girigahvaram/ te vicintya punaḥ khinnā viniṣpatya samāgatāḥ,ekānte vṛkṣamūle tu niṣedur dīnamānasāḥ/

The Maha Vaanara Senas commisioned by King Sugriva for the singular purpose of Sitaanveshana' visited in high spirits of enthusiasm and excitement and made aal out searches of sarovaras, open lands, nagaras, river beds, and unenterable places, mountains, caves and during the nights were collected together in split up smaller groups exchaning their experiences and results. This kind of intensive search very extensively was concluded. Maha Bali 'Vinata' along with his ministers concluded the visit to the 'eastern' parts well within the time limit of one month with diasappointment. 'Shatabali' too after an arduous tour of full month of the 'northern side' concluded reported back to King Sugriva with none too productive, despite an exacting outing. Some of the Veera Vaanaras from his behalf clashed with groups of 'asuras' and taught fitting lessons to the asuras. 'Sushena' after his search of the 'paschima disha', too reached Sugriva with a nil report. The consolitated reportage of Vinata-Shatabali-and Sushena pinned hopes on Hanuman from the southern side stating: udārasattvābhijano mahātmā; sa maithilīm drakṣyati vānarendraḥ, diśam tu yām eva gatā tu sītā; tām āsthito vāyusuto hanūmān/ Vanara Raja Sugriva!Vayu Putra Hanuman is parama Shaktimaan who could in all probability ascetain and even confirm the presence of Devi Sita in the southern segment of 'Sitanveshana' in all probability.

Hanuman along with Angada had taken to the southern side of 'Sitanveshana'. That contingent of the 'Vanara Sena' had intially crossed 'Vindya chala', its deep and dingy caves, jungles, parvata shikaras, rivers, durama sthaanas or unenterable places, sarovaras, massive trees, and so on with no trace of Devi Sita. In fact the party of 'maha markata veeraas' could not even secure neither adequate water resources nor even human beings! The trees did not yield proper fruits; the rivers were almost dried up. The vanya mrigas too were few and far between. It appeared that those human beings who were still existing were old and helpless. te praviśya tu tam bhīmam latāgulmasamāvṛtam, dadṛśuḥ krūrakarmāṇam asuram suranirbhayam/ tam dṛṣṭvā vanarā ghoram sthitam śailam ivāparam, gādham parihitāḥ sarve dṛṣṭvā tam parvatopamam/ so 'pi tān vānarān sarvān naṣṭāḥ sthety abravīd balī, abhyadhāvata samkruddho muṣṭim udvamya samhitam/ tam āpatantam sahasā vāliputro 'ngadas tadā, rāvano 'vam iti jñātvā talenābhijaghāna ha/ While such was the pitiable state of the 'vindhyachala pradeshas', Hanuman and a few other Vaanara Veeraas sighted some ruthless and frightening Asuras were sighted by them. Infact affer Valis's repeated encounters with the 'mayavi asuras' several of the asuras perished and the rest took asylum in the thousands of the deep mountain caves. 'Angada' was infact excited that an Asura's head was that of Ravanasura himself and gave severe thrashing, shouting excitedly: 'Arre! To day now you are being killed'! As Vaali Putra shouted like that, the Asura's body looked like that of a fountain of blood and the co-vaanaras shrieked in a manner that the sound of deep mountain cave reverberated. But that indeed was a mistaken identity. Thus the contingent of Vaanara sena got collected outside the mountain caves and under the shade of a huge tree and sat with fallen spirits broodingly. There after, they resumed their activities in right earnest, thereafter.

Sargas Forty Nine and Fifty

Angada seeks to revive the fallen hopes of 'Sitanveshana' of the dakshina vaanara sena, but soon after the tired hungry sena sights a celestial tree-sarovara-and bhavana of a Tapasvini whom Hanuman contacts

Athāngadas tadā sarvān vānarān idam abravīt, pariśrānto mahāprājñah samāśvāsya śanair vacah/ vanāni girayo nadyo durgāni gahanāni ca, daryo giriguhāś caiva vicitā nah samantatah/ tatra tatra sahāsmābhir jānakī na ca dṛśyate, tad vā rakṣo hṛtā yena sītā surasutopamā/ kālaś ca no mahān yātaḥ sugrīvas cograsāsanah,tasmād bhavantah sahitā vicinvantu samantatah/ vihāya tandrīm sokam ca nidrām caiva samutthitām, vicinudhvam vathā sītām paśyāmo janakātmajām/anirvedam ca dāksyam ca manasaś cāparājayam, kāryasiddhikarāṇy āhus tasmād etad bravīmy aham/ adyāpīdam vanam durgam vicinvantu vanaukasaḥ, khedam tyaktvā punaḥ sarvam vanam etad vicīyatām/ avaśyam kriyamāṇasya drśyate karmanah phalam, alam nirvedam āgamya na hi no malinam ksamam/ sugrīvah krodhano rājā tīksnadandaś ca vānarāh, bhetavyam tasya satatam rāmasya ca mahātmanah/ hitārtham etad uktam vah kriyatām yadi rocate, ucyatām vā kṣamam yan naḥ sarveṣām eva vānarāh/ aṅgadasya vacah śrutvā vacanam gandhamādanah, uvācāvyaktayā vācā pipāsā śramakhinnayā/ sadṛśam khalu vo vākyam angado vad uvāca ha, hitam caivānukūlam ca krivatām asva bhāsitam/punar mārgāmahe sailān kandarāms ca darīs tathā, kānanāni ca sūnyāni giriprasravaņāni ca/yathoddisthāni sarvāņi sugrīveņa mahātmanā, vicinvantu vanam sarve giridurgāņi sarvaśaḥ/ tataḥ samutthāya punar vānarās te mahābalāh, vindhyakānanasamkīrnām vicerur daksinām diśam/ te śāradābhrapratimam śrīmadrajataparvatam, śrngavantam darīvantam adhiruhya ca vānarāh/ tatra lodhravanam ramyam saptaparņavanāni ca,vicinvanto harivarāh sītādarśanakānkṣiṇaḥ/ tasyāgram adhirūdhās te śrāntā vipulavikramāḥ, na paśyanti sma vaidehīm rāmasya mahiṣīm priyām/ te tu dṛṣṭigatam kṛtvā tam śailam bahukandaram, avārohanta harayo vīkṣamāṇāḥ samantataḥ/ avaruhya tato bhūmim śrāntā vigatacetasah, sthitvā muhūrtam tatrātha vrksamūlam upāśritāh/ te muhūrtam samāśvastāh kim cid bhagnapariśramāh, punar evodyatāh kṛtsnām mārgitum daksinām diśam/ hanumatpramukhās te tu prasthitāh plavagarsabhāh, vindhyam evāditas tāvad vicerus te samantatah

Inspired by Angada, the Vanara sena resolved to forge into forests, mountains, rivers, thick jungles, ditches, caves with renewed vigour even while realising that the time limit of Sitanveshana was nearly over and knowing that King Sugriva was strict about it. vihāya tandrīm śokam ca nidrām caiva samutthitām, vicinudhvam yathā sītām paśyāmo janakātmajām/anirvedam ca dākṣyam ca manasaś cāparājayam, kāryasiddhikarāny āhus tasmād etad bravīmy aham/ adyāpīdam vanam durgam vicinvantu vanaukasaḥ, khedam tyaktvā punaḥ sarvam vanam etad vicīyatām/ 'We should decide hereby that we discard fatigue, sleep, and incapability and charge with the task straightawy. avasyam kriyamānasya drśyate karmanah phalam, alam nirvedam āgamya na hi no malinam ksamam/ sugrīvah krodhano rājā tīkṣṇadaṇḍaś ca vānarāḥ, bhetavyaṁ tasya satataṁ rāmasya ca mahātmanaḥ/ hitārtham etad uktaṁ vaḥ kriyatām yadi rocate, ucyatām vā kṣamam yan nah sarveṣām eva vānarāh/ As a deed of resolve is performed the fruit is assured but if one gets frustrated and unresolved then the assurance is bould to be indecisive. Sugriva is strict enough about the time limit of one month but our apprehension gets dissolved because of Swami Karya of Sitanveshana. It is therefore your own choice as what you wish to do- either return as per the King's prescribed time limit or proceed further. Vanara veeras! your further decisiveness is governed by your own decisicion'. As Yuva Raja Angada stated thus, Vaanara Veras advanced ahead by crossing parvatas, kandaras, shilas, nirjana vanaas, parvatiya jalapaatas. They then entered Lodhra vana and Saroarna vana for the search. Having been too tired thereafter, most of the sena rested for a while, even as Hanuman, Angada and such exemplary veeras continued their searches further.

Sarga Fifty continues:

Saha tārāngadābhyām tu samgamya hanumān kapiḥ, vicinoti sma vindhyasya guhāś ca gahanāni ca/ simhaśārdūlajuṣṭāś ca guhāś ca paritas tathā, viṣameṣu nagendrasya mahāprasravaṇeṣu ca/ teṣām tatraiva vasatām sa kālo vyatyavartata/ sa hi deśo duranveṣo guhā gahanavān mahān, tatra vāyusutaḥ sarvam vicinoti sma parvatam/ paraspareṇa rahitā anyonyasyāvidūrataḥ, gajo gavākṣo gavayaḥ śarabho gandhamādanah/ maindaś ca dvividaś caiva hanumāñ jāmbavān api, angado yuvarājaś ca tāraś ca vanagocarah/ girijālāvrtān deśān mārgitvā daksinām diśam, ksutpipāsā parītāś ca śrāntāś ca salilārthinaḥ, avakīrṇam latāvṛkṣair dadṛśus te mahābilam/ tataḥ krauñcāś ca hamsāś ca sārasāś cāpi niṣkraman, jalārdrāś cakravākāś ca raktāṅgāḥ padmareṇubhiḥ/ tatas tad bilam āsādya sugandhi duratikramam, vismayayyagramanaso babhūvur vānararsabhāh/ samjātapariśankās te tad bilam plavagottamāḥ, abhyapadyanta samhṛṣṭās tejovanto mahābalāḥ/ tataḥ parvatakūṭābho hanumān mārutātmajah, abravīd vānarān sarvān kāntāra vanakovidah/ girijālāvṛtān deśān mārgitvā dakṣiṇām diśam, vayam sarve pariśrāntā na ca paśyāmi maithilīm/ asmāc cāpi bilād dhamsāh krauñcāś ca saha sārasaih, jalārdrāś cakravākāś ca nispatanti sma sarvaśah/ nūnam salilavān atra kūpo vā yadi vā hradah, tathā ceme biladvāre snigdhās tisthanti pādapāh/ itv uktās tad bilam sarve vivišus timirāvṛtam, acandrasūryam harayo dadṛśū romaharsanam/ tatas tasmin bile durge nānāpādapasamkule, anyonyam samparisvajya jagmur yojanam antaram/ te nastasamjñās tṛṣitāh sambhrāntāh salilārthinah, paripetur bile tasmin kam cit kālam atandritāh/ te kṛśā dīnavadanāḥ pariśrāntāh plavamgamāḥ, ālokam dadṛśur vīrā nirāśā jīvite tadā/ tatas tam deśam āgamya saumyam vitimiram vanam, dadṛśuḥ kāñcanān vṛkṣān dīptavaiśvānaraprabhān/ sālāms tālāms ca pumnāgān kakubhān vañjulān dhavān, campakān nāgavŗkṣāms ca karnikārāms ca puṣpitān/ taruṇādityasamkāsān vaidūryamayavedikān, nīlavaidūrya varņāś ca padminīḥ patagāvṛtāḥ/ mahadbhiḥ kāñcanair vṛkṣair vṛtam bālārka samnibhaiḥ, jātarūpa mayair matsyair mahadbhiś ca sakacchapaih/ nalinīs tatra dadršuh prasannasalilāyutāh, kāñcanāni vimānāni rājatāni tathaiva ca/ tapanīyagavāksāni muktājālāvṛtāni ca, haimarājatabhaumāni vaidūryamaņimanti ca/ dadṛśus tatra harayo gṛhamukhyāni sarvaśaḥ, puṣpitān phalino vṛksān pravālamaņisamnibhān/kāñcanabhramarām's caiva madhūni ca samantataḥ, maṇikāñcanacitrāṇi śayanāny āsanāni ca/ mahārhāṇi ca yānāni dadṛśus te samantataḥ, haimarājatakāmsyānām bhājanānām ca samcayān/ agarūṇām ca divyānām candanānām ca samcayān, śucīny abhyavahāryāṇi mūlāni ca phalāni ca/ mahārhāni ca pānāni madhūni rasavanti ca, divyānām ambarānām ca mahārhānām ca samcayān, kambalānām ca citrānām ajinānām ca samcayān/ tatra tatra vicinvanto bile tatra mahāprabhāh, dadršur vānarāh śūrāh striyam kām cid adūratah/ tām drstvā bhršasamtrastāš cīrakṛṣṇājināmbarām, tāpasīm niyatāhārām jvalantīm iva tejasā/ tato hanūmān girisamnikāśaḥ; krtāñjalis tām abhivādva vrddhām, papraccha kā tvam bhavanam bilam ca; ratnāni cemāni vadasva kasya/

Hanuman and Angada further inspired his followers to break into the further interiors. The stalwart and muscular heros of the sena included Gaja-Gavaaksha-Gavaya-Sharabha-Gandhamaadana-Mainda-Dvivida-Hanuman-Jambavan-Yuva Raja Angada- and Vana vaasi Tara proceeded on and on and located a huge cave which was wide open as similar ones were either closed or unenterable. This cave was known as Riksha bila under the control of a Daanava. The Vanara soldiers by then got thirsty badly and hoped that there could perhaps be the avalability of natural water. Hanuman then suggested to enter the huge cave some how and find there would perhaps by water resouces therein since water birds like hamsakrouncha-saarasaa were fluttering. Some of the Vaanara shreshthas had instantly jumped inside even it was pitch dark. tatas tam deśam āgamya saumyam vitimiram yanam, dadrśuh kāñcanān yrksān dīptavaiśvānaraprabhān/ sālāms tālāms ca pumnāgān kakubhān vañjulān dhavān, campakān nāgavṛksām's ca karnikārām's ca puspitān/ Most surprisingly, they had suddenly visioned the Vrikshas on their own started glitteing like Agni samaana gold. All the trees of Saala-Taala-Tamaal-Nagakesara-Ashoka-Dhava-Champa-Naga vriksha-Karnikara and so on were dazzling with flowers. Surprising variety of 'pushpa gucchhas' were radiant like kireetaas or headgears. As the surrounding trees were shimmering, a Sarovara was spotted replete with golden lotuses; there within was situated a vaidurya mani Vedika or a Platform.

The Vanara veeras were taken aback with shocking glare as though were in a wonder world. tatra tatra vicinvanto bile tatra mahāprabhāh, dadṛśur vānarāḥ śūrāḥ striyam kām cid adūrataḥ/ tām dṛṣṭvā bhṛśasamtrastāś cīrakṛṣṇājināmbarām, tāpasīm niyatāhārām jvalantīm iva tejasā/ tato hanūmān girisamnikāśaḥ; kṛtāñjalis tām abhivādya vṛddhām, papraccha kā tvam bhavanam bilam ca; ratnāni

cemāni vadasva kasya/ Within that Vichitra Bila, the Vanaras then sighted a stree of marvel dressed in 'valkala' and black mriga charma. As Vannara veeras were totally lost in their imagination and vision, Hanuman approached and asked her: 'Devi! Who are you! In this cave of golden brightness, whose is this Ratna Bhavana and what indeed are your doing here!

Sargas Fifty One and Fifty Two

As Hanuman enquires of the 'vriddha tapasvini', she displays her 'bhavan', asks about Vanara Sena and their purpose, invites them for bhojan, reveals her identity, and facilitates them towards the Sea shores

Ity uktvā hanumāms tatra punah kṛṣnājināmbarām, abravīt tām mahābhāgām tāpasīm dharmacārinīm/ idam pravistāh sahasā bilam timirasamyrtam, ksutpipāsā pariśrāntāh parikhinnāś ca sarvaśah/ mahad dhiraṇyā vivaram praviṣṭāḥ sma pipāsitāḥ, imāms tv evam vidhān bhāvān vividhān adbhutopamān, drstvā vavam pravvathitāh sambhrāntā nastacetasah/ kasveme kāñcanā vrksās tarunāditvasamnibhāh, shucheenabhyavahāryāni mūlāni ca phalāni ca/kāñcanāni vimānāni rājatāni grhāni ca, tapanīya gavākṣāṇi maṇijālāvṛtāṇi ca/ puṣpitāḥ phālavantaś ca puṇyāḥ surabhigandhinaḥ, ime jāmbūnadamayāḥ pādapāḥ kasya tejasā/ kāñcanāni ca padmāni jātāni vimale jale, katham matsyāś ca sauvarṇā caranti saha kacchapaih/ātmānam anubhāvam ca kasya caitat tapobalam, ajānatām nah sarvesām sarvam ākhyātum arhasi/ evam uktā hanumatā tāpasī dharmacārinī, pratyuvāca hanūmantam sarvabhūtahite ratā/ mayo nāma mahātejā māyāvī dānavarşabhah, tenedam nirmitam sarvam māyayā kāñcanam vanam/ purā dānavamukhyānām viśvakarmā babhūva ha, yenedam kāñcanam divyam nirmitam bhavanottamam/ sa tu varşasahasrāṇi tapas taptvā mahāvane, pitāmahād varam lebhe sarvam auśasanam dhanam/ vidhāya sarvam balavān sarvakāmeśvaras tadā, uvāsa sukhitah kālam kam cid asmin mahāvane/ tam apsarasi hemāyām saktam dānavapumgavam, vikramyaivāśanim grhya jaghāneśah puramdarah/ idam ca brahmanā dattam hemāyai vanam uttamam, śāśvatah kāmabhogaś ca grham cedam hiranmayam/ duhitā merusāvarner aham tasyāh svayam prabhā, idam raksāmi bhavanam hemāyā vānarottama/ mama priyasakhī hemā nṛttagītaviśāradā, tayā dattavarā cāsmi rakṣāmi bhavanottamam/ kim kāryam kasya vā hetoh kāntārāni prapadvatha, katham cedam vanam durgam vusmābhir upalaksitam/ imānv abhyayahāryāni mūlāni ca phalāni ca, bhuktyā pītyā ca pānīyam saryam me yaktum arhatha/

Sarga Fifty continues: Atha tān abravīt sarvān viśrāntān hariyūthapān, idam vacanam ekāgrā tāpasī dharmacārinī/ vānarā yadi vah khedah pranastah phalabhaksanāt, yadi caitan mayā śrāvyam śrotum icchāmi kathyatām/ tasyās tad vacanam śrutvā hanumān mārutātmajah, ārjavena yathātattvam ākhyātum upacakrame/ rājā sarvasya lokasya mahendravarunopamah, rāmo dāśarathih śrīmān pravisto dandakāvanam/ laksmaņena saha bhrātrā vaidehyā cāpi bhāryayā, tasya bhāryā janasthānād rāvaņena hṛtā balāt/ vīras tasya sakhā rājñaḥ sugrīvo nāma vānaraḥ, rājā vānaramukhyānām yena prasthāpitā vayam/ agastyacaritām āśām dakṣiṇām yamarakṣitām, sahaibhir vānarair mukhyair aṅgadapramukhair vayam/ rāvanam sahitāh sarve rāksasam kāmarūpinam, sītavā saha vaidehvā mārgadhvam iti coditāh/ vicitya tu vayam sarve samagrām daksinām disam, bubhuksitāh parisrāntā vrksamūlam upāsritāh/ vivarṇavadanāḥ sarve sarve dhyānaparāyaṇāḥ, nādhigacchāmahe pāram magnāś cintāmahārṇave/ cārayantas tataś caksur dṛstavanto mahad bilam/ latāpādapasamchannam timirena samāyṛtam/ asmād dhamsā jalaklinnāh paksaih salilarenubhih, kurarāh sārasāś caiva nispatanti patatrinah, sādhv atra praviśāmeti mayā tūktāh plavamgamāh/ tesām api hi sarvesām anumānam upāgatam, gacchāmah praviśāmeti bhartṛkāryatvarānvitāh/ tato gāḍham nipatitā gṛhya hastau parasparam, idam praviṣṭāḥ sahasā bilam timirasamvṛtam/ etan naḥ kāyam etena kṛtyena vayam āgatāḥ, tvām caivopagatāḥ sarve paridyūnā bubhukṣitāh/ ātithyadharmadattāni mūlāni ca phalāni ca, asmābhir upabhuktāni bubhukṣāparipīḍitaiḥ/ yat tvayā rakṣitāḥ sarve mriyamāṇā bubhukṣayā, brūhi pratyupakārārtham kim te kurvantu vānarāh/ evam uktā tu sarvajñā vānarais taih svayamprabhā, pratyuvāca tatah sarvān idam vānarayūthapam/ sarvesām paritustāsmi vānarānām tarasvinām, carantyā mama dharmena na kāryam iha kena cit// evam uktaḥ śubham vākyam tāpasyā dharmasamhitam, uvāca hanumān vākyam tām aninditacestitām/ śaranam tvām prapannāh smah sarve vai dharmacārini, vah krtah samayo 'smākam

sugrīveņa mahātmanā, sa tu kālo vyatikrānto bile ca parivartatām/ sā tvam asmād bilād ghorād uttārayitum arhasi/ tasmāt sugrīvavacanād atikrāntān gatāyuṣaḥ, trātum arhasi naḥ sarvān sugrīvabhayaśaṅkitān/ mahac ca kāryam asmābhiḥ kartavyam dharmacāriṇi, tac cāpi na krtam kāryam asmābhir iha vāsibhiḥ/ evam uktā hanumatā tāpasī vākyam abravīt, jīvatā duṣkaraṁ manye praviṣṭena nivartitum/ tapasas tu prabhāvena niyamopārjitena ca, sarvān eva bilād asmād uddhariṣyāmi vānarān/ nimīlayata cakṣūṁṣi sarve vānarapuṁgavāḥ, na hi niṣkramituṁ śakyam animīlitalocanaiḥ/ tataḥ saṁmīlitāḥ sarve sukumārāṅgulaiḥ karaiḥ, sahasā pidadhur dṛṣṭiṁ hṛṣṭā gamanakāṅkṣiṇaḥ/ vānarās tu mahātmāno hastaruddhamukhās tadā, nimeṣāntaramātreṇa bilād uttāritās tayā/ tatas tān vānarān sarvāṁs tāpasī dharmacāriṇī, niḥsrtān viṣamāt tasmāt samāśvāsyedam abravīt/ eṣa vindhyo giriḥ śrīmān nānādrumalatāyutaḥ, eṣa prasavaṇaḥ śailaḥ sāgaro 'yaṁ mahodadhiḥ/ svasti vo 'stu gamiṣyāmi bhavanaṁ vānararṣabhāḥ, ity uktvā tad bilaṁ śrīmat praviveśa svayaṁprabhā/

As Anjaneya enquired of the 'vriddhha tapasvini' wearing 'mriga charma' and the glittering bhavan inside the mountain cave, he explained to her that all the Vanaras who entered the cave as they were tired and were desperate with thirst for water, she addressed the vanaras; in case you are desperate with thirst and hunger, she would expect them to identify themselves first. Then Pavana Kumara Hanuman explained: 'Devi! Shri Rama the glorious son of the well known King Dasharatha of Ayodhya had arrived in 'dandakaranya' along with his dharma patni Devi Sita as also his younger brother Lakshmana. But, as they were in an 'ashram' there, the ill famed Ravanasura had forcibly kidnapped Devi Sita when she was all alone. Then the King of Vanaras named Sugriva, a very close friend of Shri Rama and stationed in Kishkindha had despatched enormous Vanara Yoddhas in different directions of Bharata and here we are searching for her as to where Ravanasura had retained her. We in the contingent of Vanaras on the southern direction headed by Angada the Yuva Raja had been in search for her as to where the Asura had deposited her all over the cities, townships, river beds, mountains and caves and here we are too as exhasted, thirsty and hungry for water and food of fruits and roots. During our exhasted search, we have perchance seen this glittering cave palace. Do very kindly tell us as to who you are!' Then the elderly Tapasvini replied: Vanara shreshtha! You should have known about the Maya visharada Mayaasura. The Mayasura was originally named Vishvakatma who made this Bhavan possible. He performed deep tapasya for several years addressed to Lord Brahma and the latter directed Davana Guru Shukraacharya to teach Mayasura the whole knowledge of 'Shilpa Kala' the great art of construction. Having lived here for number of years here in this palace of the mountain cave happily, he came into close contact with an Apsarasa named Hema. Having sensed the amorous contact between her and Mayasura, Lord Indra hit the asura with his vajrayudha made him run for ever and gifted this palace to the Apsarasa Hema. duhitā merusāvarner aham tasyāh svayam prabhā, idam raksāmi bhavanam hemāyā vānarottama/ mama priyasakhī hemā nṛttagītaviśāradā, tayā dattavarā cāsmi rakṣāmi bhavanottamam/ I am the daughter of Meru Saavarni named Svayamprabha looking due care of this palace in the absence of the Aprarasa Hema who has been my dear mate in nritya-geeta kalaas or the arts of dance and music. But you should provide to me more detailed information about your selves later only after my hosting you with excellent food and drinks'.

Sarga Fifty Two continues:

After hosting sumptuous food and drinks followed by some rest, Vridhha Tapasvini Svayamprabha heard the following from Hanuman: 'Devi! As I had already explained, King Sugriva had instucted us to search for Devi Sita a 'maha saadhvi pativrata' in these parts of southern direction which are famed as serviced by Maharshi Agastya and provided safety by Yama Raja himself. rāvaṇam sahitāḥ sarve rākṣasam kāmarūpiṇam, sītayā saha vaidehyā mārgadhvam iti coditāḥ/vicitya tu vayam sarve samagrām dakṣiṇām diśam, bubhukṣitāḥ pariśrāntā vṛkṣamūlam upāśritāḥ/vivarṇavadanāḥ sarve sarve dhyānaparāyaṇāḥ, nādhigacchāmahe pāram magnāś cintāmahārṇave/ As per the directive of our King, we could take to any form like a human, animal or bird but some how ascertain Ravanasura's place of residence and whether he had hidden there or elsewhere. In this southern direction, we had been searching for any

possible indication and only the southern most tip beyond the Great Sea would still need to be searched. As were exhausted especially due to thirst and hunger, we waited under tree shades, then found the cave, saw birds hovering around, realised that there might be water resources and hence entered the cave in search of water any where.' Thus having described to the Tapavini, Hanuman further stated: śaranam tvām prapannāh smah sarve vai dharmacārini, vah krtah samayo 'smākam sugrīvena mahātmanā sa tu kālo vyatikrānto bile ca parivartatām/ sā tvam asmād bilād ghorād uttārayitum arhasi/ tasmāt sugrīvavacanād atikrāntān gatāyuṣaḥ, trātum arhasi naḥ sarvān sugrīvabhayaśaṅkitān/ mahac ca kārvam asmābhih kartavvam dharmacārini, tac cāpi na krtam kārvam asmābhir iha vāsibhih/ Devi! You indeed are a 'dharmachaarini'! We have come now for your refuge; the time limit as commanded by our King to return back is since over as we had been stuck inside this unending and complex interiors of the meandering and never ending cave.' Then the vriddha tapasvini replied: nimīlayata caksūmsi sarve vānarapumgavāh, na hi niskramitum śakyam animīlitalocanaih/ tatah sammīlitāh sarve sukumārāngulaih karaih, sahasā pidadhur dṛṣṭim hṛṣṭā gamanakānkṣinah/ vānarās tu mahātmāno hastaruddhamukhās tadā, nimeṣāntaramātreṇa bilād uttāritās tayā/ Shershtha Vaanaras: You must all now close your eyes and whoever would not do so would not be able to get out of this make believe 'maayaavi' cave! As all the Vanaras did so, there were shocked to see and hear the high rising and ear breaking sounds of the waves right before them all!'

Sargas Fifty Three and Fifty Four

As the prescribed time limit for return to Sugriva was over, Angada and other Vaanara Veeras got ready for 'praana tyaga' but clever Hanuman adopted 'bheda neeti' or of divided opinion saving them all!

Tatas te dadrsur ghoram sāgaram varunālayam, apāram abhigarjantam ghorair ūrmibhir ākulam/ mayasya māyā vihitam giridurgam vicinvatām, tesām māso vyatikrānto yo rājñā samayah kṛtah/ vindhyasya tu gireh pāde samprapuspitapādape, upaviśya mahābhāgāś cintām āpedire tadā/ tatah puṣpātibhārāgrāml latāśatasamāvṛtān, drumān vāsantikān dṛṣṭvā babhūvur bhayaśankitāh/ te vasantam anuprāptam prativedva parasparam, nastasamdešakālārthā nipetur dharanītale/ sa tu simharsabha skandhah pīnāvatabhujah kapih, vuvarājo mahāprājña angado vākvam abravīt/ sāsanāt kapirājasva vayam sarve vinirgatāḥ, māsaḥ pūrṇo bilasthānām harayaḥ kim na budhyate/ tasminn atīte kāle tu sugrīvena krte svayam, prāyopaveśanam vuktam sarvesām ca vanaukasām/ tīksnah prakrtyā sugrīvah svāmibhāve vyavasthitah, na ksamisyati nah sarvān aparādhakrto gatān/ apravrttau ca sītāyāh pāpam eva karisyati, tasmāt ksamam ihādyaiva prāyopaviśanam hi nah/ tyaktvā putrāms ca dārāms ca dhanāni ca grhāni ca, yāvan na ghātayed rājā sarvān pratigatān itah, vadhenāpratirūpena śreyān mṛtyur ihaiva naḥ/ na cāham yauvarājyena sugrīveṇābhiṣecitaḥ, narendreṇābhiṣikto 'smi rāmeṇākliṣṭakarmaṇā sa pūrvam baddhavairo mām rājā drstvā vyatikramam, ghātayisyati daņdena tīksņena krtaniścayah/ kim me suhrdbhir vyasanam paśyadbhir jīvitāntare, ihaiva prāyam āsisye punye sāgararodhasi/ etac chrutvā kumārena vuvarājena bhāsitam, sarve te vānaraśresthāh karunam vākvam abruvan/ tīksnah prakrtvā sugrīvah privāsaktas ca rāghavah, adrstāvām ca vaidehvām drstvāsmāms ca samāgatān/ rāghavapriyakāmārtham ghātayişyaty asamsayam, na kṣamam cāparāddhānām gamanam svāmipārśvatah/ plavamgamānām tu bhayārditānām; śrutvā vacas tāra idam babhāse, alam visādena bilam praviśya; vasāma sarve yadi rocate vah/ idam hi māyā vihitam sudurgamam; prabhūtayrksodaka bhojyapeyam, ihāsti no naiva bhayam puramdarān; na rāghayād vānararājato 'pi vā/ śrutvāngadasyāpi vaco 'nukūlam; ūcuś ca sarve harayah pratītāh, yathā na hanyema tathāvidhānam; asaktam adyaiva vidhīyatām naḥ/

As the Vanara Sena had suddenly faced the Maha Sagara and the frieghtening sounds of the high rising waves by merely closing their eyes, they were stunned at the make-believe maya of the Mayasura. But were at the same time realised that the one month outside limit for 'Sitaanveshana' was crossed most unfortunately and they should be ready for 'praana tyaga'! Indeed, the Sharad Ritu was over and Shishira Ritu had well set in and even Vasanta Ritu might not be too far! Yuva Raja Angada then addressed the

Vanara veeraas: Bhavantah pratyaya praaptaa neeti maarga vishaaradaah, hiteshbibhirataa bhartrinisrishtaah sarvakarmasu/ You are reposed with the 'Raja Vishvaasa' or the abiding of the King's decisiveness and are replete with 'swami bhakti'. None indeed could charge you with infringement of 'Raajaagna' and hence were selected for this devotional duty. Most unfortunately, the duty entrusted to us within the prescribed time could not be succeeded. As such we are faced with no option left. King Sugriva is decisive in his instructions. tīkṣṇaḥ prakṛtyā sugrīvaḥ svāmibhāve vyavasthitaḥ, na kṣamiṣyati naḥ sarvān aparādhakīto gatān/ apravīttau ca sītāyāh pāpam eva karisyati, tasmāt kṣamam ihādyaiva prāvopaviśanam hi nah/ tvaktvā putrāms ca dārāms ca dhanāni ca grhāni ca, vāvan na ghātaved rājā sarvān pratigatān itah, vadhenāpratirūpena śreyān mrtyur ihaiva nah/ By his very nature he is too hard to be softened and perhaps that is why kingship demands obeyance. Once we approach him we should be punished by our death any way. More particularly so since the matter involved is serious as that of 'Sitaanveshana'. That is why we should all be prepared for 'aamarana deekshopavaasa' or fasting till death, and totally ignore the individual feelings of attachments of wife- progeny- wellbeing- and all attractions of family life. Dhruvam no himsate Raajaa pratigataanitah, vadhenaapratirupena shreyaan mrityurihaiva na! When we return late that too without any success, King Sugriva should most certainly kill us; instead would it not be commit suicide peacefully ourselves!' As Angada stated likewise, the co vanaras had generally agreed to what he said but ruled out the option of returning back to the King Sugriva. A strong opinion expressed by Taara and a few others was to get back to the 'Maayaavi Guha' enjoying fresh and variety of fruits and roots! Angada then reiterated that in any case they should immediately leave that seashore lest we be targetted for life.

Sarga Fifty Four continues:

Tathā bruvati tāre tu tārādhipativarcasi atha mene hrtam rājyam hanumān angadena tat buddhyā hy astāngayā yuktam caturbalasamanvitam, caturdaśagunam mene hanumān vālinah sutam/ āpūryamānam śaśvac ca tejobalaparākramaih, śaśinam śuklapaksādau vardhamānam iva śriyā/ bṛhaspatisamam buddhyā vikrame sadṛśam pituḥ, śuśrūṣamāṇam tārasya śukrasyeva puramdaram/ bhartur arthe pariśrāntam sarvaśāstraviśāradam, abhisamdhātum ārebhe hanumān angadam tatah sa caturnām upāyānām trtīvam upavarnavan, bhedayām āsa tān sarvān vānarān vākyasampadā/ tesu sarvesu bhinneşu tato 'bhīşayad angadam, bhīşanair bahubhir vākyaiḥ kopopāyasamanvitaiḥ/ tvam samarthatarah pitrā yuddhe tāreya vai dhuram, drdham dhārayitum śaktah kapirājyam yathā pitā/ nityam asthiracittā hi kapavo haripumgava, nājñāpyam viṣahiṣyanti putradārān vinā tvayā/ tvām naite hy anuyuñjeyuh pratyaksam pravadāmi te, yathāyam jāmbavān nīlah suhotras ca mahākapih/ na hy aham ta ime sarve sāmadānādibhir gunaih, dandena na tvayā śakyāh sugrīvād apakarsitum/ vigrhyāsanam apy āhur durbalena balīyasaḥ, ātmarakṣākaras tasmān na vigṛhṇīta durbalaḥ/ yām cemām manyase dhātrīm etad bilam iti śrutam, etal lakşmaṇabāṇānām īṣatkāryam vidāraṇe/ svalpam hi kṛtam indreṇa kṣipatā hy aśanim purā, lakṣmaṇo niśitair bāṇair bhindyāt patrapuṭam yathā, lakṣmaṇasya ca nārācā bahavah santi tadvidhāh/ avasthāne yadaiva tvam āsisvasi paramtapa, tadaiva haravah sarve tvaksvanti krtaniścavāh/ smarantah putradārānām nitvodvignā bubhuksitāh, kheditā duhkhaśavvābhis tvām karisvanti prsthatah/ sa tvam hīnaḥ suhrdbhiś ca hitakāmaiś ca bandhubhiḥ trṇād api bhrśodvignaḥ spandamānād bhaviṣyasi/ na ca jātu na himsyus tvām ghorā laksmanasāyakāh, apavṛttam jighāmsanto mahāvegā durāsadāh/ asmābhis tu gatam sārdham vinītavad upasthitam, ānupūrvyāt tu sugrīvo rājye tvām sthāpayisyati/ dharmakāmah pitrvyas te prītikāmo drdhavratah, śucih satyapratijñaś ca nā tvām jātu jighāmsati/ priyakāmas ca te mātus tadartham cāsya jīvitam, tasyāpatyam ca nāsty anyat tasmād angada gamyatām/

Hanuman then realised in his heart of hearts that there might not be any distractive endeavor in the foremost and compelling quest for 'Sitanveshana' as the feeling of frustration, self-defeat and suicidal tendency had come about among the Vaanara Veeras instead of their drive, courage and heroism! Instead of stating firmly likewise, Veera Hanuman resorted to a diversionary diplomacy and planted a kind of 'bheda bhava'. buddhyā hy aṣṭāṅgayā yuktaṁ caturbalasamanvitam, caturdaśaguṇaṁ mene hanumān vālinaḥ sutam/āpūryamāṇaṁ śaśvac ca tejobalaparākramaiḥ, śaśinaṁ śuklapakṣādau vardhamānam iva

śriyā/ Hanuman surely realises that Vaali Kumara Angada is gifted with eight angled sharp buddhi of the desire for hearing, actual patience for hearing, seeking to absorb what all is heard, after absorbing the ability to retain, pondering over what has been heard, seeking to experiment on what is heard, realising the pluses and minuses of what has been heard and finally the 'tatwa jnaana'. Angada is also aware of the Kingship's fundamental practices of 'Chaturopaayaas' or the four means of Karya siddhi viz. Saama-Daana-Bheda-Danda vis-à-vis the 'shatrus' or the opponents. Further, Angada is blessed with Chaturdasha Gunas or Fourteen features viz. desha kaala jnaana- dridhata or full praparedness-sahana shakti or extreme patience- inaana prapti or accomplishment of complete awareness of the pros and conschaturata or mental absoption and application- 'utsaaha' or energetic drive- mantra gopyata- carrying takes-bravery- assessment of enemy's strong and weanesses- kritaginata or the sense of gratitudesharanaagata vaatsaya or sense of encouragement the seekers of refuge- equnimity and steadfastness. At the same time, Angada surely shares Sugriva's tenacity for Karya Siddhi. It is against the mental make up of Angada, Hanuman addresses Angada: 'Taraanandana Yuva Raja Angada! The world knows of the extraordinary prowess of your father Maha Bali Vaali. nityam asthiracittā hi kapayo haripumgava, nājñāpyam visahisyanti putradārān vinā tyayā/ tyām naite hy anuvuñjeyuh pratyaksam prayadāmi te, yathāyam jāmbavān nīlaḥ suhotraś ca mahākapiḥ/ na hy aham ta ime sarve sāmadānādibhir guṇaiḥ, dandena na tvayā śakyāḥ sugrīvād apakarṣitum/ But Vanara shiromani! It is well known that Vaanaraas are of 'chanchala syabhaya' or of truly wavering mindedness by nature irrespective of sex or age. But, they hold you in high esteem and your nod of head is followed with no questions asked. I would now like to emphasize that nobody like maha vanara veeras like Jambavan, Neela or Suhotra would defy Sugriva. Similarly I am also a true follower of him. Further, King Sugriva being an outstanding king is fully conversant of the Purushardhas of Saama- Daanaadi upayas and the capability of applying them to different situations even of 'danda' or punishment and its gradations ranging from chastisement and of course even death. I am sure that an intellecual king of his stature would not straightaway impose death penalty against a lapse of a month's non return by the Vanara Veeraas within a stipulated one month's period for the hardest task of 'Sitanveshana', especially entrusted to select heros worthy of trust and sincerity! It is indeed quite possible that persons lacking strength and bravery would not dare face in an encounter with a strong person. But a hero of might against a weakling would never need resort to unwanted and undesirable rapproachment! This being so we were faced such a situation that we had to literally hide ourselves in a motherlike figure's raksha in the mountain cave. May be a person of Lakshmana's caliber might break into that cave with a single arrow. dharmakāmah pitrvyas te prītikāmo drdhavratah, śucih satyapratijñaś ca nā tvām jātu jighāmsati/ priyakāmaś ca te mātus tadartham cāsya jīvitam, tasyāpatyam ca nāsty anyat tasmād angada gamyatām/ Your own uncle King Sugriva is a dharma raja ever valueing your goodwill, a dridhavrata and satya pratigina and could never ever harm you and your followers. Angada! Sugriva admires your mother and you have no other son ever present too excepting you. So let us get to further action with no further delays or interruptions further!

Sarga Fifty Five

Angada- having asserted of Sugriva's dubious nature and selfishness while the task of 'Sitanveshana' was due to Lakshmana's anger- thus gets readied for 'praayopavesha' along with his fellow vaanaras

Shrutvaa hanumato vākyam praśritam dharmasamhitam, svāmisatkārasamyuktam angado vākyam abravīt/ sthairyam sarvātmanā śaucam ānŗśamsyam athārjavam, vikramaiś caiva dhairyam ca sugrīve nopapadyate/ bhrātur jyeṣṭhasya yo bhāryām jīvito mahiṣīm priyām, dharmeṇa mātaram yas tu svīkaroti jugupsitaḥ/ katham sa dharmam jānīte yena bhrātrā durātmanā, yuddhāyābhiniyuktena bilasya pihitam mukham/ satyāt pāṇigṛhītaś ca kṛtakarmā mahāyaśāḥ, vismṛto rāghavo yena sa kasya sukṛtam smaret/Lakshmaṇasya bhayād yena nādharmabhayabhīruṇā, ādiṣṭā mārgitum sītām dharmam asmin katham bhavet/ tasmin pāpe kṛtaghne tu smṛtihīne calātmani, āryaḥ ko viśvasej jātu tat kulīno jijīviṣuḥ/ Rajye putram pratiṣṭhāpya saguṇo nirguṇo 'pi vā, katham śatrukulīnam mām sugrīvo jīvayiṣyati/ bhinnamantro 'parāddhaś ca hīnaśaktiḥ katham hy aham, kiṣkindhām prāpya jīveyam anātha iva

durbalaḥ/ upāmśudaṇḍena hi mām bandhanenopapādayet, śaṭhaḥ krūro nṛśamsaś ca sugrīvo rājyakāraṇāt/ bandhanāc cāvasādān me śreyaḥ prāyopaveśanam, anujānīta mām sarve gṛhān gacchantu vānarāḥ/ aham vaḥ pratijānāmi na gamiṣyāmy aham purīm, ihaiva prāyam āsiṣye śreyo maraṇam eva me/ abhivādanapūrvam tu rājā kuśalam eva ca, vācyas tato yavīyān me sugrīvo vānareśvaraḥ/ ārogyapūrvam kuśalam vācyā mātā rumā ca me, mātaram caiva me tārām āśvāsayitum arhatha/ prakṛtyā priyaputrā sā sānukrośā tapasvinī, vinaṣṭam mām iha śrutvā vyaktam hāsyati jīvitam/ etāvad uktvā vacanam vṛddhān apy abhivādya ca, samviveśāṅgado bhūmau rudan darbheṣu durmanāḥ/ tasya samviśatas tatra rudanto vānararṣabhāḥ, nayanebhyaḥ pramumucur uṣṇam vai vāriduḥkhitāḥ sugrīvam caiva nindantaḥ praśamsantaś ca vālinam, parivāryāṅgado sarve vyavasyan prāyam āsitum/ matam tad vāliputrasya vijñāya plavagarṣabhāḥ, upaspṛśyodakam sarve prānmukhāḥ samupāviśan, dakṣiṇāgreṣu darbheṣu udaktīram samāśritāḥ/ sa samviśadbhir bahubhir mahīdharo; mahādrikūṭapramitaiḥ plavamgamaiḥ, babhūva samnāditanirjharāntaro; bhṛśam nadadbhir jaladair ivolbanaih/

As Anjaneya extols King Sugriva, Yuva Raja Angada was emphatic on the negative features of Sugriva and adresses Anjaneya as follows: 'Kapi shreshtha! I am not convinced of the qualities of Sugriva as you have stressed; he is neither stable in his behaviour, nor pure in his mind set, much less of his soft nature and open heartedness. Even as his elder brother Vaali was alive, he had illicit affairs with his sister in law who was stated as of his mother's status. What kind of dharma does he know of! He was so cruel as to close the huge mountain cave when his elder brother Vaali was waging a herioc struggle with the danava and queitly slipped away to secure his Kingship; which kind of dharma that you are ascribing to him! He swore friendship to the unparalled Maha Yashasvi Bhagavan Shri Rama and after accomplishing his own kingship, had queitly forgotten about the aspect of gratitudinal promise till Lakshmana's violent reminder! Sugriva never had the qualms of Dharma but a shake up for 'Devi Sitaanveshana'. Basically, Sugriva is a cofirmed sinner, ungrateful, conveniently forgetful and of wavering and mean mentality. This is unbelievable despite of his respectable family background. Again, whether Vaali's son (Angada himself) were a 'gunavaan' or a 'gunaheen', he ought to have been the King himself; but indeed, how could ever a sworn evemy brother's son be a king! As I was always away from him, it is only now that I am coming aware of Sugriva's true nature. But since I am having to serve under his command, I have become an 'aparaadhi' too. More over, my sense of mental strength is dwindling too. Indeed I am an 'anaatha' and what could be the purpose of my life even after I return back to kishkindha any way! After all, Sugriva is intolerant, cruel and self centered! He might snipe at me any time and show to the public that I was schemy or wicked. bandhanāc cāvasādān me śreyah prāyopaveśanam, anujānīta mām sarve grhān gacchantu vānarāh/ aham vah pratijānāmi na gamisyāmy aham purīm, ihaiva prāyam āsisve śreyo maranam eva me/ Instead of living dangerously and ever shackled, I strongly feel that right now I must take to fasting prepreratory to 'praana tyaga'! But I would never wish to return to Kishkindha but end my life. Veera Hanumaan! Kindly let other Vanara brothers leave me in peace. Further, please do convey to the King and my Queen Mother of best my wishes besides Queen Ruma too. My mother Tara be pacified with my sacrifice of life; indeed I am beholden to her for my upbringing and safety. Do kindly save her as she ought never to follow my unfortunate precedence. '. So saying, Angada firmed up his decision as his fellow vavara comrades started crying away loudly while being seated on the shores of the Maha Sagara, realling a series of tragic thoughts and memories: Raamasya vana vaasam cha kshayam Dashrathasya cha, Janasthaanan vadham chaiva vadham chaiva Jataayushah/ Haranam chaiva Vadehyaa Vaalinascha vadham thathaa, Raama kopam cha vadataam hareenaam bhayamaagatam/ Thus the Vaanara Veeraas had flashbacks of indelible and frightening memories of Shri Rama's Vana Vaasa, King Dasharatha's mrityu, Janasthaana experiences of rakshasaas, Devi Sitaapaharana, Jataayu marana, Vaali Vadha, and 'Rama krodha charcha'! The earth shaking sky high sounds of the sea waves right before them had further added to the flash back thoughts on the hapless Vanara soldiers to the sensed up atmosphere of the grim situation.

Sarga Fifty Six

Gridhra Raja Sampaati arrives and frightens Vanaras initially but on hearing about the noble deed of 'Sitaanveshana' makes friends - Sampaati then hears of Ravana's killing of Jatayu, his younger brother.

Upaviṣṭās tu te sarve yasmin prāyam giristhale, harayo gṛdhrarājaś ca tam deśam upacakrame/ sāmpātir nāma nāmnā tu cirajīvī vihamgamah, bhrātā jaṭāyuṣaḥ śrīmān prakhyātabalapauruṣaḥ kandarād abhinişkramya sa vindhyasya mahāgireh, upaviştān harīn dṛṣṭvā hṛṣṭātmā giram abravīt/ vidhih kila naram loke vidhānenānuvartate, vathāvam vihito bhaksvas cirān mahvam upāgatah/ paramparānām bhaksisye vānarānām mrtam mrtam, uvācaivam vacah paksī tān nirīksya plavamgamān/tasya tadvacanam śrutyā bhaksalubdhasya paksinah, angadah param āyasto hanūmantam athābravīt/ paśya sītāpadeśena sāksād vaivasvato yamah, imam deśam anuprāpto vānarānām vipattaye/ rāmasya na kṛtam kāryam rājno na ca vacah kṛtam, harīnām iyam ajnātā vipattih sahasāgatā/ vaidehyāh priyakāmena kṛtam karma jaṭāyuṣā, gṛdhrarājena yat tatra śrutam vas tad aśeṣatah tathā sarvāṇi bhūtāni tirvagyonigatāny api, privam kurvanti rāmasya tyaktyā prānān yathā yayam/ rāghayārthe pariśrāntā vavam samtvaktajīvitāh, kāntārāni prapannāh sma na ca paśyāma maithilīm/ sa sukhī grdhrarājas tu rāvaņena hato raņe, muktaś ca sugrīvabhayād gataś ca paramām gatim/ jaṭāyuṣo vināśena rājño daśarathasya ca, haranena ca vaidehyāḥ samśayam harayo gatāḥ/ rāmalakṣmaṇayor vāsām aranye saha sītayā, rāghavasya ca bānena vālinas ca tathā vadhah/ rāmakopād asesānām rāksasānām tathā vadhah, kaikeyyā varadānena idam hi vikṛtam kṛtam/ tat tu śrutvā tadā vākyam angadasya mukhodgatam, abravīd vacanam grdhras tīkṣṇatuṇḍo mahāsvanaḥ/ ko 'yam girā ghoṣayati prāṇaiḥ priyatarasya me, jaṭāyuṣo vadham bhrātuḥ kampayann iva me manaḥ/ katham āsīj janasthāne yuddham rākṣasagṛdhrayoḥ, nāmadheyam idam bhrātuś cirasyādya mayā śrutam/ yavīyaso guṇajñasya ślāghanīyasya vikramaiḥ tad iccheyam aham śrotum vināśam vānararsabhāh/bhrātur jatāyusas tasya janasthānanivāsinah, tasyaiva ca mama bhrātuh sakhā daśarathah katham, yasya rāmah priyah putro jyestho gurujanapriyah/ sūryāmsudagdhapaksatvān na saknomi visarpitum, iccheyam parvatād asmād avatartum arimdamāh/

As Angada and followers moved up from the seashore up to a nearby mountain top, there flew down Grudhra Raja Sampaati the brother of Jatayu. Both the famed bothers were known for might and bravery, especially since their valour was utilised for the fulfillment of 'Puruahardhhas' of persons of Dharma.

[Vishleshana on Sampaati the elder brother of Jatayu vide Sarga 14 of Essence of Valmilki Araanya Ramayana for ready reference:

Kashyapa Prajapati had eight wives and these were Aditi-Diti-Danu-Kaalka-Taamra-Krodhavasha-Manu-and Anala. Aditi gave birth to Twelve Adityas-Twelve Vasus-Eleven Rudras and Two Ashvini Kumars, besides thirty three Devatas. Diti gave birth to Daityas and the controlled aranyas-samudras and the entire Earth! Danu gave birth to Ashvagreeva while Kaalka Devi to two sons viz. Naraka and Kaalaka. Devi Tamra gave birth to five kanyas viz. Krounchi-Bhaasi-Shyeni- Dhritaraashtri and Shuki. Of these, Krounchi gave birth to owls- Bhaasi gave birth to Bhaasi birds-Shyeni to bat birds- and Dhritaraashtra to hamsaas and kala hamsaas or swans. Chakravaakamscha Bhadram te vijagjne saapi Bhaamini, Shukee nataam vigagine tu Nataayaam Vinataa sutaa/ Shri Rama! Bhamini Dhritaraashta also yielded chakravaka birds while Tamara's youngest daughter Shukee was born kanya named Nataa and the latter was born Devi Vinata. Then Devi Krodhavasha gave birth to ten kanyas viz. Mrigi-Mrigamanda-Hari-Bhadramada-Maatangi-Shardooli-Shweta-Surabhi-Surasa and Kadruka. Shri Rama!Mrigi's progeny are Mrigas and Mrigamanda's generation were Riksha-Srumara and Chamara. Bhadramada gave birth to Iravati and the latter son was the famed Iraavata Gaja Raja. Then Hari's santaana were Hari the Lion- Tapasvi- and Golaangula or Langoor. Further Krodhavasha's daughter was Shardulini and the latter's son was Vyaghra. Maatangi's progeny was Matanga or elephant while Shveta gace birth to Diggaja. Krodhavasha's daughter Surabhi gave birth to daughters Rohini and Gandharvi. Rohini gave birth to cows and Gandharvini to horses. Surasa's children are Nagaas while Kadru's were Pannagaas. Now Manu yet another wife of Kashyapa were chaturvarna maanavaas of BrahmanaKshatriya-Vaishya and the Lower class. *mukhato brāhmaṇā jātā urasaḥ kṣatriyās tathā, ūrubhyām jajñire vaiśyāḥ padbhyām śūdrā iti śrutiḥ*/ From the face were born brahmanas- the heart the kshatriyas- both the thighs the vaishyas and fron the thighs the lower class. Anala gave birth to trees- Taamra putri viz Shukhi and the latter's grand daughter was Vinata and Kadru was Surasa's sister. <u>Kadru produced thousand types of 'naagaas' and Vinata created two famed sons Garuda and Aruna</u>. *tasmāj jāto 'ham aruṇāt sampātiś ca mamāgrajaḥ, jaṭāyur iti mām viddhi śyenīputram arimdama/ so 'ham vāsasahāyas te bhaviṣyāmi yadīcchasi, sītām ca tāta rakṣiṣye tvayi yāte salakṣmaṇe/ jaṭāyuṣam tu pratipūjya rāghavo; mudā pariṣvajya ca samnato 'bhavat; pitur hi śuśrāva sakhitvam ātmavāñ; jaṭāyuṣā samkathitam punaḥ punaḥ/ Raghuveera! From that Vinataanandana Aruna, I was born and so did my elder brother Sampaati and in short my name is Jataayu! I am the son of Shyenka. May I be of any help in creating an ashram for you or to protect Devi Sita in the absence of you and Lakshmana!' So saying Jatayu offered any kind of service to Ramas wholeheartedly]*

Stanzas 3-5: kandarād abhiniskramva sa vindhvasva mahāgireh, upavistān harīn drstvā hrstātmā giram abravīt/ vidhih kila naram loke vidhānenānuvartate, vathāvam vihito bhaksvaś cirān mahvam upāgatah/ paramparāṇām bhakṣiṣye vānarāṇām mṛtam mṛtam, uvācaivam vacaḥ pakṣī tān nirīkṣya plavamgamān/ Emerging from the huge caves of Maha Giri Vindhya, Garuda Raja Sampaati sighted a good many Vanaras of Sugriva Sena brooding, and felt excited that after a long time he saw numberless Vanaras for his bhojan! He said within himself that just as human beings feel that the fruits of one's own 'karma' would yield the results, now obviously there is a plethora of food from the supply of monkeys down here! Even as the Vanaras are killed by himself then so many monkesy would be his food.!' Then Angada addressed Hanuman lightheartedly: Look sir! It appears Lord Yama has been despatched to solve our problem of instant deaths of us the vanaras. rāmasya na krtam kāryam rājño na ca vacah krtam, harīnām iyam ajñātā vipattih sahasāgatā/ vaidehyāh priyakāmena kṛtam karma jatāyusā, gṛdhrarājena yat tatra śrutam vas tad aśesatah/ We the Vaaarass have obviously not obeyed the Rama Karya and also declined to fulfill the King's directive as we have had to face the difficuties on the way. Also it appears that keeping in view the disaster faced by Devi Sita, Grudhra Raja Jatayu intervened and sacrificed his life in a duel against Ravanusura, as we all know. Human beings of virtue likewise do help others in the hour of need. Now instead of suicides, let us sacrifice our lives for a noble cause of Sitanveshana instead. After all, had not Jatayu sacrificed his life defending Devi Sita!' The statements thus delivered by Angada had not only suddenly transformed the mind sets of Vaanaras with the resolve of ongoing Sitanveshana despite Sugriva's so called fear and directive of their returning back to kishkindha within a month, but also impacted Sampati that his younger brother Jatayu was no more. Sampaati got shocked and fell down in a deep ditch on earth writhing in pain more in body than mentally, by the statement of a Vanara. He stated cryingly and got weakened: ko 'yam girā ghoşayati prāṇaiḥ priyatarasya me, jaṭāyuṣo vadham bhrātuḥ kampayann iva me manaḥ/ katham āsīj janasthāne yuddham rākṣasagṛdhrayoḥ, nāmadheyam idam bhrātuś cirasyādya mayā śrutam/ yavīyaso guṇajñasya ślāghanīyasya vikramaih tad icchevam aham śrotum vināśam vānararsabhāh/ Who indeed has just said about my dear younger brother Jataayu having been killed as this news shakes my to the core! How had this happened as I am hearing this deadly information as for long I have not heard about him. Jatayu is my younger brother worthy of recalling about him for his valour, virtue and sacrificing nature. Friends, please lift me from this deep ditch as I would like to hear more details of this terrible incident! bhrātur jatāyusas tasya janasthānanivāsinah, tasyaiva ca mama bhrātuh sakhā daśarathah katham, yasya rāmah priyah putro jyestho gurujanapriyah/ My dear brother was living in 'Janasthaan'; he was very dear and near to Shri Rama the eldest son of Maha Raja Dasharatha. Vaanara Veeras! I am totally scorched by the extreme heat of the Sunrays and would like to be put down the mountain.'

Sarga Fifty Seven

Angada places the badly hurt body of Sampaati from the mountain top and describes the details of Jatayu as killed by Ravanaasura- Rama Sugriva friendship- Vaali's death- and his 'aamarana upavaasa'

Shokād bhrastasvaram api śrutvā te harivūthapāh, śraddadhur naiva tad vākyam karmanā tasva śankitāh/ te prāyam upaviṣṭās tu dṛṣṭvā gṛdhram plavamgamāh, cakrur buddhim tadā raudrām sarvān no bhakşayişyati/ sarvathā prāyam āsīnān yadi no bhakşayişyati, kṛtakṛtyā bhavişyāmaḥ kṣipram siddhim ito gatāh/ etām buddhim tatas cakruh sarve te vānararsabhāh, avatārva gireh srngād grdhram āhāngadas tadā/ babhūvur kṣarajo nāma vānarendraḥ pratāpavān, mamāryaḥ pārthivaḥ pakṣin dhārmikau tasya cātmajau/ sugrīvas caiva valī ca putrāv oghabalāv ubhau, loke visrutakarmābhūd rājā vālī pitā mama/ rājā krtsnasya jagata iksvākūnām mahārathah, rāmo dāśarathih śrīmān pravisto dandakāyanam/ laksmanena saha bhrātrā vaidehyā cāpi bhāryayā, pitur nidesanirato dharmyam panthānam āsritah, tasya bhāryā janasthānād rāvanena hrtā balāt/ rāmasya ca pitur mitram jatāyur nāma grdhrarāt, dadarśa sītām vaidehīm hriyamānām vihāyasā/ rāvanam viratham kṛtvā sthāpayitvā ca maithilīm, pariśrāntaś ca vrddhaś ca rāvanena hato rane/ evam grdhro hatas tena rāvanena bahīvasā, samskṛtaś cāpi rāmeņa gataś ca gatim uttamām/ tato mama pitrvyeņa sugrīveņa mahātmanā, cakāra rāghavah sakhyam so 'vadhīt pitaram mama/ māma pitrā viruddho hi sugrīvah sacivaih saha, nihatya vālinam rāmas tatas tam abhisecayat/ sa rājye sthāpitas tena sugrīvo vānareśvarah, rājā vānaramukhyānām yena prasthāpitā vayam/ evam rāmaprayuktās tu mārgamāṇās tatas tatah, vaidehīm nādhigacchāmo rātrau sūryaprabhām iva/ te vayam daṇdakāraṇyam vicitya susamāhitāḥ, ajñānāt tu praviṣṭāḥ sma dharaṇyā vivṛtam bilam/ mayasya māyā vihitam tad bilam ca vicinvatām, vyatītas tatra no māso yo rājñā sāmayah kṛtah/ te vayam kapirājasya sarve vacanakārinah, kṛtām samsthām atikrāntā bhayāt prāyam upāsmahe/ kruddhe tasmims tu kākutsthe sugrīve ca salaksmane, gatānām api sarvesām tatra no nāsti jīvitam/

As Grudhra Raja Sampaati's tone got thinned down and squeaky, the Vanaras got frightened as though he would eat them off. Angada had made formal introduction of himself; he stated that his grandfather was named and his sons were Vaali and Sugriva both of them being Maha Veeras.

[Brief Vishleshana Riksha Raja the father of Vaali-Sugrivas: The background was that the father of Vaali Sugrivas was Rriksha Raja who once bathed in a nearby pond and was surpised himself to have a female form. At the same time, Indra and Surya Deva got infatuated with her and Vaali was born of Indra and Sugriva of Surya. Vaali made rigorous tapasya to Brahma and secured the boon of invincibility. Sugriva being very scared of Vaali made sure in course of his friendship with Rama that Vaali did of piercing through a tree from far distance in one shot but Rama broke seven such trees in a row.]

Even till recently, there was a 'Maha rathi' named King Dasharatha of Ikshvaku Vamsha and his eldest son named Shri Rama who having obeyed his father's directive had gone to D andakaranya along with his wife Devi Sita and brother Lakishmana. At the 'janasthaana' there, Ravanasura abducted Devi Sita. It was at that time Gridhraraja Jatayu on noticing 'Sitaapaharana' attacked Ravana and smashed his chariot and made fierce battle but Ravana killed the valiant Jatayu. Rama Lakshmanas having noticed Jatayu lying had performed the 'dahana samskara' as the latter attained the 'uttama gati'. Then Shri Rama entered into lasting bonds of friendship and having killed Vaali made Sugriva possible to take over kingship and subsequently despatched contingents of Vaanara Yoddhas to different directions and that Maha Veeras of Vaanaras like Hanuman and Jambayan were despatched deep into the southern side in search of Devi Sita in this manner. As we were searching various places like forests, river beds, mountatin caves, we tumbled into a huge and unending cave and lost our way for long long days and over a month and landed at a surprisingly glittering Mayasura Mansion; but meanwhile the time limit that our King Sugriva was well long past. Therefore most of us in the Vanara Sena decided to resirt to the self imposed ' nirahaara deeksha' till we would die. That precisely was the time when we encountered you first and realised about your glorious family background, and this is our stage of misery, desperation and before this vacillation.' Thus concluded Angada to Gridhra Raja Sampati almost dying due to a fatal fall into a deep ditch from a mountain top.

Sarga Fifty Eight

Sampaati informs the Vanara Veeras as to how his wings were burnt up, confirms Ravana-Sita's place details-and performs jalanjali to his brother Jatayu since known from Vanaras of his passing away.

Ity uktah karuṇam vākyam vānarais tyaktajīvitaih, sabāspo vānarān grdhrah pratyuvāca mahāsvanah yavīyān mama sa bhrātā jaṭāyur nāma vānarāh, yamākhyāta hatam yuddhe rāvaṇena balīyasā/ vrddhabhāvād apakṣatvāc chrnvams tad api marṣaye, na hi me śaktir adyāsti bhrātur vairavimokṣaṇe/ purā vrtravadhe vrtte sa cāham ca javaisinau, āditvam upavātau svo jvalantam rasmimālinam/ āvṛtyākāśamārgena javena sma gatau bhṛśam, madhyam prāpte ca sūrye ca jatāyur avasīdati/ tam aham bhrātaram drstvā sūryaraśmibhir arditam, paksābhyam chādayām āsa snehāt paramavihvalam/ nirdagdhapaksah patito vindhye 'ham vānarottamāh, aham asmin vasan bhrātuh prayrttim nopalaksaye/ jatāvusas tv evam ukto bhrātrā sampātinā tadā, vuvarājo mahāprājñah pratyuvācāngadas tadā/ jatāvuso yadi bhrātā śrutam te gaditam mayā, ākhyāhi yadi jānāsi nilayam tasya rakṣasaḥ/ adīrghadarśinam tam vā rāvaņam rākṣasādhipam, antike yadi vā dūre yadi jānāsi śamsa naḥ tato 'bravīn mahātejā jyeṣṭho bhrātā jatāvusah, ātmānurūpam vacanam vānarān sampraharsavan/ nirdagdhapakso grdhro 'ham gatavīryah plavamgamāh, vānmātreņa tu rāmasya karisye sāhyam uttamam/ jānāmi vāruņāl lokān visnos traivikramān api, devāsuravimardām's ca amṛtasya ca manthanam/ rāmasya yad idam kāryam kartavyam prathamam mayā, jarayā ca hṛtam tejah prānāś ca śithilā mama/ tarunī rūpasampannā sarvābharanabhūsitā, hriyamānā mayā dṛstā rāvanena durātmanā/ krośantī rāma rāmeti laksmaneti ca bhāminī, bhūṣaṇāny apavidhyantī gātrāṇi ca vidhunvatī/ sūryaprabheva śailāgre tasyāḥ kauśeyam uttamam, asite rāksase bhāti vathā vā tadidambude/ tām tu sītām aham manye rāmasya parikīrtanāt, śrūyatām me kathayato nilayam tasya rakṣasaḥ/ putro viśravasaḥ sākṣād bhrātā vaiśravaṇasya ca, adhyāste nagarīm lankām rāvano nāma rākasah/ ito dvīpe samudrasva sampūrne śatavojane, tasmiml lankā purī ramyā nirmitā viśvakarmanā/ tasyām vasati vaidehī dīnā kauśeyavāsinī, rāvanāntahpure ruddhā rāksasībhih suraksitā/ janakasyātmajām rājñas tasyām draksyatha maithilīm, lankāyām atha guptāyām sāgarena samantatah/ samprāpya sāgarasyāntam sampūrnam śatayojanam, āsādya daksinam kūlam tato draksyatha rāvaṇam/ tatraiva tvaritāh kṣipram vikramadhvam plavamgamāḥ, jñānena khalu paśvāmi drstvā pratyāgamisyatha/ ādyah panthāh kulingānām ve cānve dhānyajīvinah, dvitīvo balibhojānām ve ca vrksaphalāśinah/ bhāsās trtīvam gacchanti krauñcāś ca kuraraih saha, śvenāś caturtham gacchanti grdhrā gacchanti pañcamam/ balavīryopapannānām rūpayauvanaśālinām, şaṣṭhas tu panthā hamsānām vainateyagatih parā, vainateyāc ca no janma sarvesām vānararsabhāh/ garhitam tu krtam karma yena sma piśitāśanāh, ihastho 'ham prapaśyāmi rāvanam jānakīm tathā/ asmākam api sauvarnam divyam caksurbalam tathā, tasmād āhāravīryena nisargena ca vānarāh, āyojanaśatāt sāgrād vayam paśyāma nityaśah/ asmākam vihitā vṛttir nisārgena ca dūratah, vihitā pādamūle tu vṛttiś caranayodhinām/ upāyo dṛśyatām kaś cil langhane lavanāmbhasah, abhigamya tu vaidehīm samṛddhārthā gamiṣyatha/ samudram netum icchāmi bhavadbhir varuṇālayam, pradāsyāmy udakam bhrātuḥ svargatasya mahātmanaḥ/ tato nītvā tu tam deśam tīre nadanadīpateḥ, nirdagdhapakṣam sampātim vānarāh sumahaujasah/ punah pratyānavitvā vai tam dešam patagešvaram, babhūvur vānarā hrstāh pravrttim upalabhva te/

As Angada concluded with helplessness, Sampaati even as he was badly hurt after being retrieved from the mountain ditch with the support of Vanaras addressed them as follows: 'Jatayu was my younger brother as killed by duratma Ravanaasura. As my wings were burnt, unfortunately I am totally disabled to take revenge Ravana and even after learning of this horrible news from you now. In the remote past, we brothers we had the self-pride of winning Indra who got puffed up when he killed Vritrasura and tried to fly high but the mid day Surya but as Jatayu out of over enthusiasm went too near to Surya and got his strong wings burnt and I tried to procect him by covering his burnt wings and my wings too got scorched and fell down on the vindhya mountains eversince'. jaṭāyuṣo yadi bhrātā śrutam te gaditam mayā, ākhyāhi yadi jānāsi nilayam tasya rakṣasaḥ/ adīrghadarśinam tam vā rāvaṇam rākṣasādhipam, antike yadi vā dūre yadi jānāsi śamsa naḥ/ Then the excited and intelligent Angada asked Sampaati that in case Sampaati was the elder brother of Jataayu, then do kindlly and possibly tell us the place of Ravanasura.

Jataayu replied: 'Vanaras! My wings are burnt and am almost dying while still anxious to help the 'Rama karya'. I do have the knowledge of Varuna loka, the place where Vamanaavataara Vishnu kept his first step up the 'urthva lokas' and where 'Amrita Mathana' took place and despite my dying state, I am dedicated to Rama: tarunī rūpasampannā sarvābharaṇabhūṣitā, hriyamānā mayā dṛṣṭā rāvaṇena durātmanā/ krośantī rāma rāmeti laksmaneti ca bhāminī, bhūsanāny apavidhyantī gātrāni ca vidhunyatī/ sūryaprabheva śailāgre tasyāḥ kauśeyam uttamam, asite rākṣase bhāti yathā vā taḍidambude/ One day, I saw Ravanasura kidnapping a young and pretty woman as she was crying away on the sky: 'Ha Rama, ha Lakshmana' as she was looking shocked and shivering throwing away her silk upper garments and ornaments down as they shone bright against the black coloured Rakshasa. That was indeed Ravanasura the son of Maharshi Vishravaaka, and the real brother of Kubera himself. From here within a reach of hundred and odd distance of 'koshas', there is an island where Vishvakarma constructed a fantastic city named 'Lankaapuri' with queer and hight entrance gates and with golden buildings inside which glittering 'verandaas'! It is in that citi of Ravana, Devi Sita was seated wearing pure silk robes, crying away in the midst of rakshasis. The island of Lanka is under survelliance and safe from all the four sides and is away of some hundred vojanas from the sea. Vanara Veeras you would have to truly show your valour and brains too to be able to cross the sea. Surely you should be able to reach and see for yourself be using your skills of miniaturising oe magnifying your body forms. The sure way is to cover the distance from the sea bed to Devi Sita by way of flying as doves or other birds. garhitam tu krtam karma yena sma piśitāśanāh, ihastho 'ham prapaśyāmi rāvanam jānakīm tathā/ asmākam api sauvarnam divyam cakşurbalam tathā, asmākam vihitā vṛttir nisārgeṇa ca dūratah, vihitā pādamūle tu vṛttiś caranayodhinām/ As I am born like this as a Kite, I am born as a 'maamsaahari' a flesh eater but I certainly take revenge on Ravana as he killied by brother. I could see Ravana and Sita too as we Garudas possess the abillity of far sightedness upto hundred yojanas. upāyo dṛśyatāṁ kaś cil laṅghane lavanāmbhasah, abhigamya tu vaidehīm samrddhārthā gamisyatha/In your case as Vanaras who should explose other mans and means reaching inside the city. But, meanwhile, please help me to carry me upto the Sea sothat I could perform jalaanjali to my dear brother Jatayu.' As Sampaati provided detailed information of Lankapuri confirming Devi Sita's prsesence right there; notwithstanding the extensive searches for all the other directions, the Southbound Vanara Yoddhas were thrilled at the most significant news of her being there and as rightly advised them by Sampati to explore ways and means to enter the impregnable Lankapuri. Meanwhile, the Vanara sena hepled to carry Samapati's dying body to the seashore enabling him to let him to perform the jalanjali.

Sarga Fifty Nine

Sampati conveys to the Vanara Sena Yoddhas of what his son Supaarshvya informed of Devi Sita and Ravana at Lanka

Tatas tad amṛtāsvādam gṛdhrarājena bhāṣitam, niśamya vadato hṛṣṭās te vacaḥ plavagarṣabhāḥ/ jāmbavān vai hariśreṣṭhaḥ saha sarvaiḥ plavamgamaiḥ, bhūtalāt sahasotthāya gṛdhrarājānam abravīt/ kva sītā kena vā dṛṣṭā ko vā harati maithilīm, tad ākhyātu bhavān sarvam gatir bhava vanaukasām/ ko dāśarathibāṇānām vajraveganipātinām, svayam lakṣmaṇam uktānām na cintayati vikramam/ sa harīn prītisamyuktān sītā śrutisamāhitān, punar āśvāsayan prīta idam vacanam abravīt/ śrūyatām iha vaidehyā yathā me haraṇam śrutam, yena cāpi mamākhyātam yatra cāyatalocanā/ aham asmin girau durge bahuyojanam āyate, cirān nipatito vṛddhaḥ kṣīṇaprāṇaparākramaḥ/ taṁ mām evaṃgatam putraḥ supārśvo nāma nāmataḥ, āhāreṇa yathākālam bibharti patatām varaḥ/ tīkṣṇakāmās tu gandharvās tīkṣṇakopā bhujamgamāḥ, mṛgāṇām tu bhayam tīkṣṇam tatas tīkṣṇakṣudhā vayam/ sa kadā cit kṣudhārtasya mama cāhārakānkṣiṇaḥ, gatasūryo 'hani prāpto mama putro hy anāmiṣaḥ/ sa mayā vṛddhabhāvāc ca kopāc ca paribhartsitaḥ, kṣutpipāsā parītena kumāraḥ patatām varaḥ/ sa mamāhārasamrodhāt pīḍitaḥ prītivardhanaḥ, anumānya yathātattvam idam vacanam abravīt/ aham tāta yathākālam āmiṣārthī kham āplutaḥ, mahendrasya girer dvāram āvṛtya ca samāsthitaḥ/ tatra sattvasahasrānām sāgarāntaracārinām, panthānam eko 'dhyayasam samniroddhum avānmukhah/ tatra

kaś cin mayā drstah sūryodayasamaprabhām, striyam ādāya gacchan vai bhinnāñjanacayopamah/ so 'ham abhyavahārārthī tau drstvā krtaniścayah, tena sāmnā vinītena panthānam abhiyācitah/ na hi sāmopapannānām prahartā vidyate kva cit, nīcesv api janaḥ kaś cit kim anga bata madvidhah/ sa yātas tejasā vyoma samksipann iva vegatah, athāham khe carair bhūtair abhigamya sabhājitah/ distyā jīvasi tāteti abruvan mām maharsayah, katham cit sakalatro 'sau gatas te syasty asamsayam/ eyam uktas tato 'ham taiḥ siddhaiḥ paramaśobhanaiḥ, sa ca me rāvaṇo rājā rakṣasām prativeditaḥ/ haran dāśarather bhāryām rāmasya janakātmajām, bhraṣṭābharaṇakauśeyām śokavegaparājitām/ rāmalakṣmaṇayor nāma krośantīm muktamūrdhajām, esa kālātvavas tāvad iti vākvavidām varah/ etam artham samagram me supārśvah pratyavedayat, tac chrutvāpi hi me buddhir nāsīt kā cit parākrame/ apakso hi katham paksī karma kim cid upakramet, yat tu śakyam mayā kartum vāgbuddhigunavartinā/ śrūyatām tat pravaksyāmi bhavatām paurusāśrayam, vānmatibhyām hi sārvesām karisyāmi priyam hi vah, yad dhi dāśaratheh kāryam mama tan nātra samśayah/ te bhavanto matiśresthā balavanto manasvinah, sahitāh kapirājena devair api durāsadāh/ rāmalakṣmaṇabāṇāś ca niśitāh kankapatriṇaḥ, trayāṇām api lokānām paryāptās trāṇanigrahe/kāmam khalu daśagrīvas tejobalasamanvitah, bhavatām tu samarthānām na kim cid api duskaram/ tad alam kālasamgena krivatām buddhiniścavah, na hi karmasu sajjante buddhimanto bhavadvidhāh/

As the dakshina Vanara Sena was truly relieved of the suspense involved in Sitanveshana all along, the mighty Jambavanta the chief of Bears having lifted Sampaati over his shoulders being truly thrilled at the great news of Devi Sita's wherabouts now, asked Sampati: 'Pakshi Raja! Where precisely is Devi Sita! Who had seen her actually. Then Sampaati relpied parting with further and more concrete proof: 'This insurmountable has a largespan of hundreds of yojanas. I fell down from the very high skies from our expedition to reach Indra and we brothers viz. Jatayu and me had our wings burnt and fell down at different destinations and never had further contacts mutually. Now I am old and fallen with burnt off wings. tam mām evamgatam putrah supārśvo nāma nāmatah, āhārena yathākālam bibharti patatām varah/ tīksnakāmās tu gandharvās tīksnakopā bhujamgamāh, mrgānām tu bhayam tīksnam tatas tīkṣṇakṣudhā vayam/ In this situation, my son named Suparshva was feering me food regularly for years now. Just as the race of gandharvas have the weaksness for sex and Sarpas for anger, we Grudhras have a penchant for food and hunger. One day my son had to search for food till the evening but to no avail. Then he conveyed to me that he had reached the top of Mahendra Parvata with the hope of swoop and fly down any possible prey of animal or bird as food for me and himself. tatra kaś cin mayā drstah sūryodayasamaprabhām, striyam ādāya gacchan vai bhinnāñjanacayopamah/ so 'ham abhyavahārārthī tau drstvā krtaniścayah, tena sāmnā vinītena panthānam abhiyācitah/ Then I found a frightful dark rakshasa was forcibly carrying a crying young woman whose body shine was golden bright like that of Surya himself. In fact I had half a mind to pick both of them for food as we were truly famished, but even from a distance, that rakshasa siglalled me from a distance to please not attack them. Then I flew away from that postion and faced the high sky bound Siddha- Charana Maha Purushas who gave me way on the sky as I heard as if addressing me: distvā jīvasi tāteti abruvan mām maharsayah, katham cit sakalatro 'sau gatas te svasty asamsayam/ evam uktas tato 'ham taiḥ siddhaiḥ paramasobhanaiḥ, sa ca me rāvaṇo rājā rakṣasām prativeditaḥ/ 'Thank goodness, Devi Sita is alive as she escaped your attention!' Instanly I looked her, as the Siddha purushas continued to say: 'That dark person is the Rakshasa King Ravana. That woman is Dasharatha kumara Rama's wife named Janaki; she is throwing down her ornaments away; her head hairs are fluttering as he he is crying 'ha Rama, ha Lakshmana'! The Rakshasa is flying away south bound. Father! I was delayed due to this interesting but unfortunate incident'. Sampati continued addressing Jambavan and Vanara Veeraas: te bhavanto matiśresthā balavanto manasvinah, sahitāḥ kapirājena devair api durāsadāḥ/ rāmalakṣmaṇabāṇāś ca niśitāḥ kankapatriṇaḥ, trayāṇām api lokānām paryāptās trāṇanigrahe/kāmam khalu daśagrīvas tejobalasamanvitah, bhavatām tu samarthānām na kim cid api duskaram/ tad alam kālasamgena krivatām buddhiniścayah, na hi karmasu sajjante buddhimanto bhavadvidhāh/ You are indeed resolute, brave, and dedicated like Devatas themselves. That is why your King Sugriva is depending on you for your devotion and determination. Shri Rama Lakshmanas are born heros who have the capability of safeguarding tri lokaas whom Vidhata

Brahma himself had manifested. As your opponent Ravan the representation of 'adharma' and vicious - ness himself, your 'parakrama' is truly complementary to the heroism of Shri Rama, the symbol of 'dharma and nyaaya.'

Sarga Sixty and Sixty One

Sampaati's interaction with his preceptor 'Nishakara Rishi' and explains as to how the wings of both his and his brother Jatayu's wings were burnt in a competition with Surya in the latter's triloka parikrama!

Tataḥ krtodakam snātam tam grdhram hariyūthapāḥ, upaviṣṭā girau durge parivārya samantataḥ tam angadam upāsīnam taih sarvair haribhir vṛtam, janitapratyayo harsāt sampātih punar abravīt/ kṛtvā nihśabdam ekāgrāh śrnvantu harayo mama, tattvam samkīrtayisyāmi yathā jānāmi maithilīm/ asya vindhyasya śikhare patito 'smi purā vane, sūryātapaparītāngo nirdagdhaḥ sūryaraśmibhih/ labdhasamjñas tu sadrātrād vivaso vihvalann iva, vīksamāno disah sarvā nābhijānāmi kim cana/ tatas tu sāgarāñ śailān nadīh sarvāh sarāmsi ca, vanāny atavideśāms ca samīksva matir āgamat/ hṛṣṭapakṣigaṇākīṛṇaḥ kandarāntarakūṭavān, dakṣiṇasyodadhes tīre vindhyo 'yam iti niścitaḥ āsīc cātrāśramam puṇyam surair api supūjitam, ṛṣir niśākaro nāma yasminn ugratapābhavat/ aṣṭau varsasahasrāni tenāsminn rsinā vinā, vasato mama dharmajñāh svargate tu nisākare/ avatīrya ca vindhyāgrāt krcchrena visamāc chanaih, tīksnadarbhām vasumatīm duhkhena punar āgatah tam rsim drastu kāmo 'smi duḥkhenābhyāgato bhṛśam, jatāyuṣā mayā caiva bahuśo 'bhigato hi saḥ/ tasyāśramapadābhyāśe vavur vātāh sugandhinah, vṛkṣo nāpuṣpitah kaś cid aphalo vā na dṛśyate/ upetya cāśramam punyam vṛkṣamūlam upāśritaḥ, draṣṭukāmaḥ pratīkṣe ca bhagavantam niśākaram/ athāpaśyam adūrastham rsim įvalitatejasam, krtābhisekam durdharsam upāvrttam udanmukham/ tam rksāh symarā vyāghrāh simhā nāgāh sarīsypāh, parivāryopagacchanti dātāram prānino yathā/ tatah prāptam rsim jñātvā tāni sattvāni vai yayuh, praviste rājani yathā sarvam sāmātyakam balam/ rsis tu dṛṣtvā mām tustah pravistaś cāśramam punah, muhūrtamātrān niskramya tatah kāryam apṛcchata/ saumya vaikalyatām drstvā romnām te nāvagamyate, agnidagdhāv imau pakṣau tvak caiva vranitā tava/ dvau grdhrau drstapūrvau me mātariśvasamau jave, grdhrānām caiva rājānau bhrātarau kāmarūpinau įvesthas tvam tu ca sampātir jatāvur anujas tava, mānusam rūpam āsthāva grhnītām caranau mama/ kim te vyādhisamutthānam pakṣayoḥ patanam katham, daṇḍo vāyam dhṛtaḥ kena sarvam ākhyāhi pṛcchataḥ/

As Grudhra Raja Sampaati had completed his 'jalanjali' to the dead Soul of his younger brother Jatayu, all the Vanara Yoddhaas encircled the dying Sampaati especially the latter provided the most essential details of Devi Sita and her 'nivasa sthaana' right onder the control of Ravanasura. Then even as Sampaati was gasping for his breath, he explained as to how he was aware of Devi Sita in the remote past. He addressed Angada the Yuva Raja of Vaanaras: 'As I fell down from the heights of the high skies 'enroute' to Vindhya parvata's heights, since my huge wings were totally burnt by the fiery rays of Surya, I fell totally unconscious and could not recognise any body or anything. Then gradually I realised of mountains, seas, rivers, sarovaras, forests, and of beings and humans. As also realised that on the mountains there were huge caves and so on. Gradually I realised there were human and other species like Kites and other birds besides animals too. Among the humans, I became aware of Mahatmas, Maharshis and erudite scholors like 'Chandra naamadhara Muni' a top 'tapasvi' and 'jnaani'. A few times even with extreme pain I used to crawl upto that very ashram of the Mahatma. In the precincts of the ashram, I desired to see him back. The Rishi was pleased to see me back too but realised that my wings were burnt. He said: 'Sampate! Are you not the elder brother of Jatayu who could assume the form of any Being. He used to touch my feet in a human form! And you to could assume any form. What happened to you now and your most powerful wings!'

Sarga Sixty One follows:

Tatas tad dārunam karma duskaram sāhasāt krtam, ācacakse muneh sarvam sūryānugamanam tathā/ bhagavan vraṇayuktatvāl lajjayā cākulendriyaḥ, pariśrānto na śaknomi vacanam paribhāṣitum/ aham caiva jatāyus ca samgharṣād darpamohitau, ākāsam patitau vīrau jighāsantau parākramam/ kailāsaśikhare baddhvā munīnām agratah paṇam, ravih syād anuyātavyo yāvad astam mahāgirim/ apyaayaam yugapat prāptāy apaśyāya mahītale, rathacakrapramānāni nagarāni prthak prthak/ kya cid vāditraghosāms ca brahmaghosāms ca susruva, gāyantīs cānganā bahvīh pasyāvo raktavāsasah tūrņam utpatya cākāśam ādityapatham āsthitau, āvām ālokayāvas tad vanam śādvalasamsthitam/ upalair iva samchannā drśvate bhūh śiloccayaih, āpagābhiś ca samvītā sūtrair iva vasumdharā/ himavāmś caiva vindhyaś ca meruś ca sumahān nagaḥ, bhūtale samprakāśante nāgā iva jalāśaye/ tīvrasvedaś ca khedaś ca bhayam cāsīt tadāvayoh, samāviśata mohaś ca mohān mūrchā ca dārunā/ na dig vijñāyate yāmyā nāgenyā na ca vārunī, yugānte niyato loko hato dagdha ivāgninā/ yatnena mahatā bhūyo ravih samavalokitah, tulyah prthvīpramānena bhāskarah pratibhāti nau/ jatāyur mām anāprcchya nipapāta mahīm tatah, tam dṛṣṭvā tūrṇam ākāśād ātmānam muktavān aham/ pakṣibhyām ca mayā gupto jaṭāyur na pradahyata, pramādāt tatra nirdagdhaḥ patan vāyupathād aham āśanke tam nipatitam janasthāne jatāvusam, aham tu patito vindhve dagdhapakso jadīkrtah/ rājvena hīno bhrātrā ca paksābhvām vikrameṇa ca, sarvathā martum evecchan patiṣye śikharād gireḥ/

Sampati then explained to the Nishaakara Muni: 'Bhagavan Maharshi! Owing to my present position of extreme pain as my wings got burnt am unable to explain properly but in breif it was like this: 'Both me and brother Jatayu became arrogant and highly conceited with your flying speed and might. We took a vow before the Munis atop Mount Kailasha as to who between us could follow Surya Bhagavan earlier in the course of his parikrama of the universe!

[Vishleshana on Surya Deva's bhu -pradakshina: Sources Vishnu Purana and Matsya Purana

Vishnu Purana: Surya Deva's chariot occupies an area of nine thousand yojanas and twice is the area of its 'Ishaa Danda' or the area between the 'Juuva' or Yugaartha and the 'Ratha'. The chariot is drawn by Seven Chhandas or Horses viz. Gayatri, Brihati, Ushnik, Jagati, Trishthup, Anushthup and Pankti. Actually, Survodaya and Survastaya are mere concepts since he is constant and stable; counting from the East of Manasottrara Mountain, the Kaala- Chakras on Eastward to Indra, Southward to Yamaloka, west weard to Varuna loka and northward to Chandraloka and the Head quarters of Indra, Yama, Varuna and Chandrarespectively are Vasvoukasaara, Samyamani, Sukhaa and Vibhavari. In otherwords, along with Jyotish Chakra, Bhagavan Bhanu is seen rushing Southward. By mid day, he is fully visible at Indraloka followed by the other lokas prescribedviz. Yama-Varuna and Chandra and by the next morning again repeats its course. Udayaastamaney chaiva Sarvakaalam tu Sammukhey, Vidishaasu twashyshasu tathaa Brahman dishaasucha/ Yairyatra drushyatey Bhaaswaansa teshaamudayah smrutah, Tirobhavam chayatraiti tatraivaastamanam Raveyh/ (Sunrise and Sunset thus occur at the same position, since persons at the various Dishas-Vidishaas or Directions-Sub Directions witness the constant Surva Deva as they move and vision morning- mid day-evening-night and again morning and so on in the reverse movement!). Hence Sun Rise and Sunset are regulated to East and West; actually the manner in which Sun shines in the East, he also shines in the reverse; he is stated to stay put at Brahma Sabha and in the process of revolution of Kala Chakra, Dishas and Vidishas get lit or get dark and the lighten portion of the Universe become the day and the darkened areas get the night positions. *Kudaala chakra paryanto* bhramannesha Divaakarah, Karostahastathaa raatrim vimunmodineem Dwija/ (Hey Dwija! Just as a potter rotates a wheel, Sun and Earth witness parts of ay and nights). From the time of Chakra's start of the revolution from the lowest point of the wheel towards the North is called Uttarayana and Surya is stated to be visible in Makara Raashi, followed by Kumbha Raashi and further on to Meena Raashi. As the three Raashis are over, the duration of day and night become equivalent or in other words, Sun passes through Bhu-Madhya Rekha. Thereafter, the duration of day time starts increasing and that of nights dwindling. Subsequently, Mesha, Vrisha and Mithuna Raashis pass over; at the end of Mithuna Raashi as Karka Raashi is entered into then Surva's direction changes from North to the Southern Direction and that phase is called Dakshinaayana. Just as a person tends to speed up descent from the top to the bottom, the speed of Kala Chakra gets picked up by the velocity of Vayu /wind and thus the duration of time quickens; during Dakshinaayana, the day time is stated to take thirteen and half revolutions of Nakshtras around Surya which is normally performed within twelve Muhurtas(thirty muhurthas make a day-night); but during the night time, the speed slows down and takes eighteen Muhurthas. During Uttarayana, Surya's speed quickens in the nights and slows down during the days and vice versa. Another conclusion is that during the Sandhya timings viz. Vyushti / Prabhat of day -breaks and Usha or night falls, the Vyashti time is of Brahma Swarupa Omkara and Gayatri and who ever worships Gayatri at that time with 'jala' would destroy the Rakshasaas; if they further recite the Mantra viz. Suryo Jyotih as the first Aahuti of Agnihotra they would be awakening and enlightening Surya Deva; thereafter: Omkaaro Bhagavan Vishnustridhaamaa vachasaam patih, Tadyucchaaranatastey tu yaanti Raakshasaah/ Vaishavomshah Parah Suryo yontarjyotirasaplayam, Abhidhaayaka Omkaarastasya tatprerakah parah/Tena SampreritamJyotiromkaaranaatha deeptimat, Dahatya sesha Rakshaamsi Mandehaa-khyaanyadhaani vai/ Tasmaannollinghanam Kaaryam Sandhyopaasana karmanah, Sa hanti Suryam Sandhyaayaa nopaastim kurtutev tu vah//(The mere recitation of Omkaara Vishwam-Tejo Prajna Rupam-Tridhama Yuktam-Vishnum-Vedaadhipatim would destroy Raakshasaas. The Inner Radiance of Nirvikara Vishnu is Surya: Omkara is his Vaachaka and is the instant prompter of terminating Rakshasaas. Prompted by the Omkara, that Jyoti called Vishnu gets into full action in blistering Mandea-called Rakshasas; that is the reason why the Sandhyopaasana Karma should never ever be neglected!) Sishumara Chakra / Jyotisha Chakra: On the Sky, one could find a dolphin like formation of a Starry Design at the tail of which is Dhruva, who rotates on its own axis and also induces the rotation around Chandra, Surva, other Planets as also Nakshatras as well; in fact, all the Planets and Stars get hooked to Dhruva by the force of Vayu. Sishumara is the hinge of Sarveshwara Narayana tied on to Dhruva and further clutched to Surya. Sishumara is coiled with its head down, Ashvini Kumars at its feet,; Varuna and Aryama are at thighs, Mitra at the anus; Agni, Mahendra, Kashyapa and Dhruva at its tail; on the top of the tail is Prajapati, Sapta Rishis at the hip position; body skin pores with Nakshatras; Upper chin as Agasti, lower chin as Yama; Mars as its mouth; genitals Saturn, Guru as neck back; Surya as chest; Moon as mind; Venus as navel; heart as Narayana Himself; life air as Mercury and so on. Rahu and Ketu the Sub-Heavenn Planets are right under Surya Deva. Surya attracts water from various sources for eight months in a year and facilitates rains for four months a year and rains enable crops of food and fodder for all the Beings. Surva also enables the upkeep of Chandra and the latter in turn produces 'Abhra'by interacting with Vayu further creating Dhooma (Steam) produced by Agni and Sky leading to Meghas or clouds. As per the Time schedule prescribed by Vidhaa, 'Abhra Jala' as preserved in the clouds is released pure water with the help of Vayu onto Bhumi. Surva Deva attracts water from four main sources viz. Rivers, Samudra, various water-bodies fron Bhumi, and Pranis. The Akasha Ganga attracted by Surya Deva would straight away release the water by way of rains from clouds without the process of transformation to 'Abhras' afore-mentioned. Needless to say that the water by way of rains as per the above process, is like Amrit or the Principal and Unparalleled source of Life for the production of food grains, Aoushadhis, Yagnas, and worships besides and countless various deeds. Thus, Aharabhutah Savitru Dhruvo Muni varotthama! Dhruvasya Shishimaarosow sopi Narayanatmakah/ (The main Adhara of Surya is Dhruva and Dhruva is dependent on Narayana and Narayana is settled in Sishumaara!)

Matsya Purana: Surya-Chandra Gati Varnana: (Some intersting facts): Both Surya and Chandra cover daily the Seven Dwipas(Jambu, Plaksha, Salmaali, Kusha, Krouncha, Shaka and Pushkala); Sapta Samudras (Lavana or Salt, Ikshurasa or Sugarcane juice, Sura or Wine, Ghrita or Classified Butter, Dahi or Curd, Ksheera or Milk and Suswada or Sweet Water); and Sapta Parvatas (Sumru, Kailas, Malaya, Himalaya, Udyachala, Agastyachala, Suvela and Gandhamadana). Normally Surya Deva covers trilokas each day. Surya Mandala as defined by Veda Vyaasa is nine thousand yojanas and the total circumference is stated to be 27000 yojanas. Prithvi's mandala is stated to be fifty crore yojanas. One half of this is spread north to Meru Parvata and by half of Meru Parvata on four sides one crore yojanas is stated to be spread over. Half of Prithvi is stated to spread nine lakh fifty thousand yojanas. Now the four sided

spread of all the four directions is stated as three crore vojanas. This is what the sapta dwipaas and sapta samudras which occuppies the spread of earth. The surrounding area of Prithvi known as 'braahma mandala' is thrice larger than that of Prithvi. Thus the area of Prithvi plus works out to eleven crore and thirty three lakh yojanas! Now the account of earth and the 'antariksha'. The area of the Sky as contained by that of nakshatraas is what Prithvi is occupied. In other words, what ever is the area of Prithvi is that of 'antariksha'. Now the Jyotirgana Prachaara: and Meru Parvata: To the east of Meru Parvata, atop the Manasarovara mountain, there exists Vasvaikasaara named Mahendra Nagara made of gold. Again to the south of Meru Parvata's back side, there is Manasaparvata and the Samyamani Pura where Lord Yama the illustrious son of Surva Deva resides. To the west of Meru parvata, on the west of Manasaparvata atop Sukha Purawhere Varuna Deva resides. To the north of Meru Parvata atop the Mahendra parvata, Vibhavari Pura where Chandra Deva resides. Behind the Manasotara on the four sides, the Ashta Dik Loka Paalakas are placed to protect Dharma and in the dakshinaayana period, Surya Deva oversees the activities of the Ashta Palakas during his period. Now, about the dakshinayana the travel of Surya; in the jyotishchakra in his pradakshina, He reaches Amaravati the capital of Indra Deva by the midday on earth; that would be when it coincides with Yama Raja's rising time, in Chandra's mid night time and so on. As Surya performs pradakshina or self-circumam -bulation, he also does the same to nakshatras too do likewise. Precisely at the 'udaya' and 'astama' timings he does exactly the same year in and year out. At the Sun Rise he gradually increases his radiance till the afternoon and gradually reduces his tejas till the dusk time. In this way, Surya Deva performs pradakshina or circubambulation of self and so do the nakshatra mandali too. These all travel southward and at the rise and setting timings are defined as also at the poorvaahna and aparaahna or pre noon and afternoon they pass through two each of Deva puris and at the noon time, one Devapuri. Thus Surya from the rise gains momentum of radiance till afternoon and gradually lessens the severity of the kiranas thereafter till Sun set. Surva has the constant awareness of he 'udaya' and 'astamaya' at the east and west directions; while radiating the eastern side, spreading the heat and illumination on the sidewise north and south and decreasing the severity till disappearance. Meru Parvata is stated to be situated in the north of the highest of all the mountains; Lokaaloka is situated in the southern direction and since Prithvi's shadows are spread over, those Beings situated on the other side of the hemisphere are unable to Surya in the nights. Thus Surya Deva with a lakh of kiranas reaches the mid portion of 'Pushkaradwipa' by that time, despite his speed of one 'muhurta' or two ghadis at the rate of one thirty lakh and fifty thousand yojanas plus! Thus Surya Deva as he traverses southward for six months turns to uttarayana or northbound. At the time of Dakshinaayana, Surya would have reached the travel to the mid portion of Pushkara dwipa. This dwipa is as thrice as distant from Mru to Manasarovara! Now the distance on the southern course or Dakshinayana is of nine crore fifty lakh yojanas. After the dakshinayana, Surya reaches the Vishuva sthaana or the 'khagoleeya vishuvadvritta bindu' at the north of Ksheera sagara. Vishvan mandala parinama is three cores twenty one lakh yojanas. As Surya's course gets north bound or uttarayana entering'shravana nakshatra', then his course would be towards gomoda dwipa in between the south and north parts and in between are located jaradrava - Iravata to the north and Vaishvanara to the south. Towards north is named Naaga veedhi and to the south is the Ajaveedhi. The nakshatras of Purvaashadha-Uttaraashadha-Mula are known as 'ajvithis' and abhijit, shravana and swaati are naagavithis. Ashvini, Bharani and Krittika are aslo naagavithis and so also Rohini-Ardra and Mrigashira. Pushya, Shlesha and Punarvasu ate called Iravati veethi. Purvaphalguni, Uttara phalguni and Magha are arshabhi veedhi. Purvabhadra, Uttataabhadra and Revati are of Goveedhi, while Shravana, Dhanishtha and Shatabhisha are of jagadveethi. Chitra and Swati are again of ajaveedhi, Jyrshtha, Vishaka and Anuraadha are of Mriga veedhi again. During Uttarayana samaya, the speed of Surya is slower and the nights are of longer duration and vice versa. Shishumaara Chakra: On the 'akaasha mandala' or the sky line, in between the space of fourteen nalshatras, there is the shishumaaraka chakra inside which is the son of King Uttanapaada viz. the eternal Dhruva. This Dhruva Nakshatra moves around in a circular manner and along with the concerned Grahas as also Surya and Chandra. Nakshatra Ganas too move around in circular fashion behind the Dhruva Nakshatra. As Dhruva is controlled by 'Jyotirgana' and 'Vayurgana', he is free to take his 'manasika sankalpa' for performing his 'bhramana' or selfpradakshina. However, he is influenced by various considerations such as jyotirgana bheda, yoga, kaala

nischaya, asta, udaya, utpaaa, Uttaraayana-Dakshinaayana gamana, vishuvat rekhaapara sthiti, graha varnana and such considerations enable Dhruva's decision. Now, those clouds which afford life to Beings are called 'Jeemuta Meghas'; such jeemutas are normally impacted by 'vayus' which are distanced by a yojana or two; the resultant interaction of the jeemutas and the vayus create 'maha vrishti' or the substantial rains. It is stated that in the days of yore, quite a few huge mountains used to fly from place to place with their wings carrying dark clouds repete with clouded waters so that Beings starved of rains on earth were satisfied with the rains at those places. But the advantage of carrying water was far outweighed by the havoc created on earth due to the flying mountains and as such Lord Indra cut off the wings. Consequently the mutilated wings of the mountains create havors of excessive rains with thunders and pralaya situations consequently causing floods and innumerable water flows of speed and noise! Indeed Vayu is the life energy. Entire 'Brahmanda' came into place as the 'Aja' or the Self Manifested Brahma came out bursting out from the 'anda kapaala' or egg shell with the interaction of fierce wind and clouds. Brahma was also 'Jalajaataasana' or seated by the water base. Among the base material besides Vayu and Jala - naamaka- parjanya- meghas Brahma created further Iravata-Vaamana-Anjana and four Diggjas. Elephants, mountains, clouds and serpents are of the same 'kula' or likeness of upbringing and likewise of water, clouds, rains; just as to enable the growth of foodgrains one calls tushara or snow in hemanta ritu or winter. In any case it is undisputed that Surya is the cause of 'vrishti' or rains. In this world, rains, Sun shine, ice, days and nights, sandhya kalaas, Shubha and Ashubhakaryas are basically regulted by Dhruva. Dhuruva regulates water which is received by Surya. It is due to water that wind or praana vayu that Sthaavara Jngamas or the mobile and immobile exist due to. Thus there is a chain reaction in which Prakriti's mobiliy is sustained.]

Stanzas 5-6 onward of Sarga Sixty One: apyaavaam yugapat prāptāv apaśyāva mahītale, rathacakrapramānāni nagarāni pṛthak pṛthak/ kva cid vāditraghosām's ca brahmaghosām's ca śuśruva, gāyantīś cāṅganā bahvīh paśyāvo raktavāsasah/ tūrnam utpatya cākāśam ādityapatham āsthitau, āvām ālokayāvas tad vanam śādvalasamsthitam/ Having decided that both Sampaati and Jataayu the Maha Gridhraas followed Surya Deva in his Tri Loka Pradakshna. On the earth, they reached various regions of earth including nagaras, mountains, rivers, oceans and so on just following the Surva Deva's chariot. From the 'Urthva Lokas' above bhumi, the brothers were able to hear the sonorous musical sounds and the jingling sounds of Deva Kanyas and their singings too. Both the brothers of Sampaati and Jatayu had clearly visioned the scenes too from a distance. Then both of them raced up with Surya and tracked up along with him nearly closing him from a distance. upalair iva samchannā drśyate bhūh śiloccayaih, āpagābhiś ca samvītā sūtrair iva vasumdharā/ himavāms caiva vindhyas ca merus ca sumahān nagah, bhūtale samprakāśante nāgā iva jalāśaye/ tīvrasvedaś ca khedaś ca bhayam cāsīt tadāvayoh, samāviśata mohaś ca mohān mūrchā ca dāruṇā/ Due to the view from far above earth, the latter looked as though some rocks were hiding waterflows but those were actually high mountains and oceens or huge rivers like needles through threads. On the surface of the earth, gigantic mountains like Meru, Himalayas, Vindhya and so on were like elephants up from the sky. As the view from far above was rather weird and creepy, the two brothers took to sweating. Also they were tired with fear, and got swooned too. na dig vijñāvate yāmyā nāgenyā na ca vāruṇī, yugānte niyato loko hato dagdha ivāgninā/ yatnena mahatā bhūyo raviḥ samavalokitah, tulyah pṛthvīpramānena bhāskarah pratibhāti nau/ In that condition, we never had the ability to distinguish the southern or northern directions, nor of the east or the west. As we found ourselves directionless, we went too near to the red and blistering globe of Surya Deva as our wings caught fire. jaṭāyur mām anāpṛcchya nipapāta mahīm tataḥ, tam dṛṣṭvā tūrṇam ākāśād ātmānam muktavān aham/ pakṣibhyām ca mayā gupto jaṭāyur na pradahyata, pramādāt tatra nirdagdhaḥ patan vāyupathād aham/ āśanke tam nipatitam janasthāne jaṭāyuṣam, aham tu patito vindhye dagdhapakṣo jadīkṛtaḥ/Jatayu was falling down quicker as his grip was not enough and thus I tried to protect him by my wings and thus the impact of heat was double in my case. All the same the fall was unimaginally steep as both fell down the the emormous reverberations of the thud sound. By way of the sense of the flow of wind, it appeared that Jatayu fell down at the 'Janasthaana' but I fel down on the Vindyachala's shikhara', so explained to Nishaakara Muni.

Sarga Sixty Two

Nishakara Muni readily sympathises and wishes recovery to Sampata but instructs him to contribute in the context of Shri Rama Vijaya Karya all his life

Evam uktvā muniśreṣṭham arudam duḥkhito bhṛśam, atha dhyātvā muhūrtam tu bhagavān idam abravīt/ pakṣau ca te prapakṣau ca punar anyau bhaviṣyataḥ, cakṣuṣī caiva prāṇāś ca vikramaś ca balam ca te/ purāṇe sumahat kāryam bhaviṣyam hi mayā śrutam, dṛṣṭam me tapasā caiva śrutvā ca viditam mama/ rājā daśaratho nāma kaś cid ikṣvākunandanaḥ, tasya putro mahātejā rāmo nāma bhaviṣyati/ araṇyam ca saha bhrātrā lakṣmaṇena gamiṣyati, tasminn arthe niyuktaḥ san pitrā satyaparākramaḥ/ nairṛto rāvaṇo nāma tasyā bhāryām hariṣyati, rākṣasendro janasthānād avadhyaḥ suradānavaiḥ/ sā ca kāmaiḥ pralobhyantī bhakṣyair bhojyaiś ca maithilī, na bhokṣyati mahābhāgā duḥkhamagnā yaśasvinī/ paramānnam tu vaidehyā jñātvā dāsyati vāsavaḥ, yad annam amṛtaprakhyam surāṇām api durlabham/ tad annam maithilī prāpya vijñāyendrād idam tv iti, agram uddhṛtya rāmāya bhūtale nirvapiṣyati/ yadi jīvati me bhartā lakṣmaṇena saha prabhuḥ, devatvam gatayor vāpi tayor annam idam tv iti/ eṣyanty anveṣakās tasyā rāmadūtāḥ plavamgamāḥ, ākhyeyā rāmamahiṣī tvayā tebhyo vihamgama/ sarvathā tu na gantavyam īdṛśaḥ kva gamiṣyasi, deśakālau pratīkṣasva pakṣau tvam pratipatsyase/ utsaheyam aham kartum adyaiva tvām sapakṣakam, ihasthas tvam tu lokānām hitam kāryam kariṣyasi/ tvayāpi khalu tat kāryam tayoś ca nṛpaputrayoḥ/ brāhmaṇānām surāṇām ca munīnām vāsavasya ca/ icchāmy aham api draṣṭum bhrātaru rāmalakṣmaṇau, necche ciram dhārayitum prāṇāms tyakṣye kalevaram/

Having heard what all his 'bhakta' reported earlier about how his wings were burnt off and that he fell down on the heights of Vindhya Mountain, he readily expressed his earnest sympathy and assured that surely his wings should grow back. paksau ca te prapaksau ca punar anyau bhavisyatah, caksusī caiva prānāś ca vikramaś ca balam ca te/ purāne sumahat kāryam bhavisyam hi mayā śrutam, dṛstam me tapasā caiva śrutvā ca viditam mama/ Sampaate! Do not get too alarmed. By the passage of time, your wings should gradually grow; like wise, your vision would be recovered and your lost physical vigour and bravery too. I had read in Puranas that several magnificent and amazing developments are round the corner and would occur soon enough. One needs to achieve that distant vision by tapasya and sincere introspection. The foretellings were that there would by a famed King Dasharatha in the Ikshvaaku Vamsha who would be blessed by a Maha Tejasvi Putra named Shri Rama. The futuristic vision also confirmed that Rama the Satya Parakrama would visit deep forests alonh with his dharnachaarini named Devi Sita along with Rama's brother Lakshmana. The forevision further states that in the janasthaana King Ravanaasura would abduct Devi Sita who would prove her 'paativratya' by discarding bhakshya bhojyaadis and would always be immersed in the devotional thoughts of Shri Rama only always. She would refuse the 'Rakshasaanna' but the 'Indra Pasaada' only, while keeping the top portion as naivedya to Rama keeping it on earth and would consume only the lower portion for herself. Sampaate! esvanty anvesakās tasvā rāmadūtāh plavamgamāh, ākhvevā rāmamahisī tvavā tebhvo vihamgama/ sarvathā tu na gantavyam īdṛśaḥ kva gamiṣyasi, deśakālau pratīkṣasva pakṣau tvam pratipatsyase/ The vanara sena which had already been despatched should certainly succeed in their efforts but direct them suitably and try your best to show them the way. Do most certainly wait here only by giving them proper clues, even as if your wings might grow eventually. tvayāpi khalu tat kāryam tayoś ca nṛpaputrayoh/ brāhmanānām surāṇām ca munīnām vāsavasya ca/ icchāmy aham api draṣṭum bhrātaru rāmalakṣmaṇau, necche ciram dhārayitum prāṇāms tyakṣye kalevaram/ There after as Rama Lakshmanas arrive too here, you must extend whatever assistance might be called for. Indeed, I would desire to have my darshan of those Maha Purushas but I might have to perform my 'praana tyaga' even before their arrival here' Thus the Maha Muni advised his devotee.

Sarga Sixty Three

Sampaati eventually recovers fresh wings and enthuses Vanara Veeras to proceed to the farther South

and step forward to Lanka

Etair anyais ca bahubhir vākyair vākyavisāradaḥ, mām prasasyābhyanujñāpya pravisṭaḥ sa svam āśramam/ kandarāt tu visarpitvā parvatasya śanaiḥ śanaiḥ, aham vindhyam samāruhya bhavataḥ pratipālave/ adva tv etasva kālasva sāgram varsasatam gatam, desakālapratīkso 'smi hrdi krtvā muner vacaḥ/ mahāprasthānam āsādya svargate tu niśākare, mām nirdahati samtāpo vitarkair bahubhir vṛtam/ utthitām maraņe buddhim muni vākyair nivartaye, buddhir yā tena me dattā prāṇasamrakṣaṇāya tu, sā me 'panayate duhkham dīptevāgnišikhā tamah/ budhyatā ca mayā vīryam rāvanasya durātmanah, putrah samtarjito vāgbhir na trātā maithilī katham/ tasyā vilapitam śrutvā tau ca sītā vinākrtau, na me daśarathasnehāt putrenotpāditam priyam/ tasya tv evam bruvānasya sampāter vānaraih saha, utpetatus tadā paksau samaksam vanacārinām/ sa drstvā svām tanum paksair udgatair arunacchadaih, praharsam atulam lebhe vānarāms cedam abravīt/ nisākarasya maharseh prabhāvād amitātmanah, ādityarasminir dagdhau pakṣau me punar utthitau/ yauvane vartamānasya mamāsīd yaḥ parākramaḥ, tam evādyāvagacchāmi balam pauruṣam eva ca/ sarvathā kriyatām yatnaḥ sītām adhigamiṣyatha, pakṣalābho mamāyam vah siddhipratyaya kārakah/ity uktyā tān harīn sarvān sampātih patatām yarah utpapāta gireh śrngāj jijñāsuḥ khagamo gatim/ tasya tadvacanam śrutvā prītisamhṛṣṭamānasāḥ, babhūvur hariśārdūlā vikramābhyudayonmukhāḥ/ atha pavanasamānavikramāḥ; plavagavarāḥ pratilabdha paurusāh, abhijidabhimukhām diśam yayur; janakasutā parimārganonmukhāh/

As Maharshi Nishaakara instructed Sampati intensively to keep serving ShriRama Karya as a singulat duty of Sampati's life and very existence, the latter slowly walked out from the Maharshi's cave and slowly crawled up to the top of the Vindhya Parvata. With the passage of time, the Maharshii passed away and there eversince, Sampaati had been waiting. He told the Vaanara shreshthas further that he wished to sacrifice his life since his living proved to be a drag eversince, but the Maharshis words were ringing in his years to wait till the arrival of the Vanara sena on 'Shri Rama Karya'. Time and again Sampaati had been chiding his son as and when he used to fetch food for him as why he had not punished 'duraatma' Ravanasura and save Devi Sita some how. Like wise he was sharing his thoughts to the vaanara shreshthaas who assembled around him. Meanwhile, Sampaati realised that his burnt off wings were slowly regenerating. He was excited to address the Vaanara veeras; niśākarasya maharseh prabhāvād amitātmanah, ādityaraśminir -dagdhau pakṣau me punar utthitau/ yauvane vartamānasya mamāsīd yah parākramah, tam evādyāvagacchāmi balam paurusam eva ca/ sarvathā kriyatām yatnah sītām adhigamişyatha, pakṣalābho mamāyam vaḥ siddhipratyaya kārakaḥ/ 'Kapi varaas! Thanks indeed by the blessings of Maharshi Nishaakara, my wings which were totally burnt off during my escapade with Surya Deva, have come come back sprouting. Now I should now onward be able to experience and enjoy my purusharthaas of 'Dharmaartha Kaamaas'! Vaanara veeras! All of you now should now put in your very best to take up the challenging endeavour to attain Devi Sita mother's darshan as soon as possible. This success is indeed round the corner, just as my wings are sprouting back.' Unable to suppress his greatest desire to fly any longer, Sapmpaati flew off in excitement as all the vaanara veeras clapped in response with the strong determination to initiate and propel the action on hand.

Sarga Sixty Four

With great excitement and drive, especially fired up by Sampaati, the vast vaanara sena pushed forward to the Sea bed; then Angada asked the select Yoddhhas to express their individual abilities to cross the Sea.

Aakhyātā gṛdhrarājena samutpatya plavamgamāḥ, samgatāḥ prītisamyuktā vineduḥ simhavikramāḥ/
sampāter vacanam śrutvā harayo rāvaṇakṣayam, hṛṣṭāḥ sāgaram ājagmuḥ sītādarśanakānkṣiṇaḥ/
abhikramya tu tam deśam dadṛśur bhīmavikramāḥ, kṛtsnam lokasya mahataḥ pratibimbam iva sthitam/
dakṣiṇasya samudrasya samāsādyottarām diśam, samniveśam tataś cakruḥ sahitā vānarottamāḥ/ sattvair
mahadbhir vikṛtaiḥ krīḍadbhir vividhair jale, vyāttāsyaiḥ sumahākāyair ūrmibhiś ca samākulam/
prasuptam iva cānyatra krīḍantam iva cānyataḥ, kva cit parvatamātraiś ca jalarāśibhir āvṛtam/

samkulam dānavendraiś ca pātālatalavāsibhih, romaharsakaram drstvā viseduh kapikuñjarāh/ ākāśam iva duspāram sāgaram preksya vānarāh, viseduh sahasā sarve katham kāryam iti bruvan/ visannām vāhinīm dṛṣṭvā sāgarasya nirīkṣaṇāt, āśvāsayām āsa harīn bhayārtān harisattamah/ na niṣādena nah kāryam viṣādo doṣavattaraḥ, viṣādo hanti puruṣam bālam kruddha ivoragaḥ/ viṣādo 'yam prasahate vikrame parvupasthite, tejasā tasva hīnasva purusārtho na sidhvati/ tasvām rātrvām vvatītāvām aṅgado vānaraiḥ saha, harivṛddhaiḥ samāgamya punar mantram amantrayat sā vānarāṇām dhvajinī parivāryāngadam babhau, vāsavam parivāryeva marutām vāhinī sthitā/ko 'nyas tām vānarīm senām śaktah stambhayitum bhayet, anyatra yālitanayād anyatra ca hanūmatah/ tatas tān hariyrddhāmś ca tac ca sainyam arimdamah, anumānyāṅgadah śrīmān vākyam arthavad abravīt/ ka idānīm mahātejā langhayisyati sagaram, kah karisyati sugrīvam satyasamdham arimdamam/ ko vīro yojanaśatam langhayeta plavamgamāh, imāms ca yūthapān sarvān mocayet ko mahābhayāt/ kasya prasādād dārāms ca putrāms caiva gṛhāni ca, ito nivṛttāh pasyema siddhārthāh sukhino vayam/ kasya prasādād rāmam ca lakşmanam ca mahābalam, abhigacchema samhrṣṭāh sugrīvam ca mahābalam/ yadi kaś cit samartho vah sāgaraplavane harih, sa dadātv iha naḥ śīghram puṇyām abhayadakṣiṇām/ aṅgadasya vacaḥ śrutvā na kaś cit kim cid abravīt, stimitevābhavat sarvā sā tatra harivāhinī/ punar evāngadah prāha tān harīn harisattamah, sarve balavatām śreṣṭhā bhavanto dṛḍhavikramāh, vyapadeśya kule jātāḥ pūjitāś cāpy abhīkṣṇaśaḥ/ na hi vo gamane samgaḥ kadā cid api kasya cit, bruvadhvam yasya yā śaktir gamane plavagarsabhāh/

As inspired by Sampaati, Vaanara Simhas moved forward pushing in excitement to the Sea bed with the singular ambition of Sita Darshana and Ravana Vadha. They then witnessed the mammoth Sea akin to Virat Vishva It self. samkulam dānavendraiś ca pātālatalavāsibhih, romaharsakaram dṛṣṭvā viṣeduh kapikuñjarāḥ/ākāśam iva duṣpāram sāgaram prekṣya vānarāḥ, viṣeduḥ sahasā sarve katham kāryam iti bruvan/ As the Sea appears to reach right upto the gates of the Pataala Loka inhabited by Danava Rajas, the hair-raising view had literally frightened the varara sena. They sat together and wondered as to what do.visannām vāhinīm dṛstvā sāgarasya nirīksanāt, āśvāsayām āsa harīn bhayārtān harisattamah/ na niṣādena naḥ kāryam viṣādo doṣavattaraḥ, viṣādo hanti puruṣam bālam kruddha ivoragaḥ/ viṣādo 'yam prasahate vikrame parvupasthite, tejasā tasva hīnasva purusārtho na sidhvati/ As they sat together ruminating, Kapisreshtha Angada exhorted them: Veera Vaanaraas! You ought not to brittle down by worrying with concern and helplesseness kills initiative as a child facing a poisonous and hissing snake would surely hit the child. Situations of hardship surely destroy initiative. Having stated thus, Angada reassemled after a night's introspection and queried: ka idānīm mahātejā langhayisyati sāgaram, kah karisyati sugrīvam satyasamdham arimdamam/ ko vīro yojanasatam langhayeta plavamgamāh, imāms ca yūthapān sarvān mocayet ko mahābhayāt/ kasya prasādād dārām's ca putrām's caiva gṛhāni ca, ito nivṛttāḥ paśyema siddhārthāḥ sukhino vayam/ kasya prasādād rāmam ca lakṣmaṇam ca mahābalam, abhigacchema samhṛṣṭāḥ sugrīvam ca mahābalam/ Vanara Sajjanas! Who among you who could cross this Maha Sagara and fulfill the 'satyapratigina' or the swearing of Truthfulness made by King Sugriva! Who could cross this Sea of hundred vojanas and become worthy of Rama Karya! Who is indeed the true hero who could reach the other side of the land witnessing the stree purushaas there and jump back with safe return!

Sarga Sixty Five

As Angada asked select Vanara yoddhhas of their ability to cross and return, individual responses were heard- then Jambavan recommends Veera Hanuman for this impossible and daring act

Tato 'ngadavacaḥ śrutvā sarve te vānarottamāḥ, svam svam gatau samutsāham āhus tatra yathākramam/gajo gavākṣo gavayaḥ śarabho gandhamādanaḥ, maindaś ca dvividaś caiva suṣeṇo jāmbavāms tathā/ābabhāṣe gajas tatra plaveyam daśayojanam, gavākṣo yojanāny āha gamiṣyāmīti vimśatim/gavayo vānaras tatra vānarāms tān uvāca ha, trimśatam tu gamiṣyāmi yojanānām plavamgamāḥ/śarabho vānaras tatra vānarāms tān uvāca ha, catvārimśad gamiṣyāmi yojanānām na samśayah/vānarāms tu

mahātejā abravīd gandhamādanah, yojanānām gamisyāmi pañcāśat tu na saṃśayah/ maindas tu vānaras tatra vānarāms tān uvāca ha, yojanānām param sastim aham plavitum utsahe/ tatas tatra mahātejā dvividah pratyabhāṣata, gamiṣyāmi na samdehah saptatim yojanāny aham/ suṣeṇas tu hariśreṣṭhah proktavān kapisattamān, aśītim yojanānām tu plaveyam plavagarşabhāh/ teṣām kathayatām tatra sarvāms tān anumānya ca, tato vrddhatamas tesām jāmbayān pratyabhāsata/ pūryam asmākam apy āsīt kaś cid gatiparākramah, te vayam vayasah pāram anuprāptāh sma sāmpratam/ kim tu naivam gate śakyam idam kāryam upekṣitum, yad artham kapirājas ca rāmas ca kṛtaniscayau/ sāmpratam kālabhedena yā gatis tām nibodhata, navatim yojanānām tu gamiṣyāmi na samsayaḥ/ tāms ca sarvān hariśresthāñ jāmbavān punar abravīt, na khalv etāvad evāsīd gamane me parākramah/ mayā mahābalaiś caiva yajñe viṣṇuḥ sanātanaḥ, pradakṣiṇīkṛtaḥ pūrvaṁ kramamāṇas trivikramaḥ/ sa idānīm ahaṁ vrddhah plavane mandavikramah, yauvane ca tadāsīn me balam apratimam paraih/ sampraty etāvatīm śaktim gamane tarkayāmy aham, naitāvatā ca samsiddhih kāryasyāsya bhavisyati/ athottaram udārārtham abravīd angadas tadā, anumānya mahāprājño jāmbavantam mahākapim/ aham etad gamişyāmi yojanānām śatam mahat, nivartane tu me śaktih syān na veti na niścitam/ tam uvāca hariśrestho jāmbavān vākyakovidah, jñāvate gamane śaktis tava harvrksasattama/ kāmam śatasahasram vā na hy eşa vidhir ucyate, yojanānām bhavāñ śakto gantum pratinivartitum/ na hi preşayitā tata svāmī preşyah katham cana, bhavatāyam janah sarvah preşyah plavagasattama/ bhavān kalatram asmākam svāmibhāve vyavasthitah, svāmī kalatram sainvasya gatir esā paramtapa/ tasmāt kalatravat tāta pratipālyah sadā bhavān, api caitasya kāryasya bhavān mūlam arimdama/ mūlam arthasya samraksyam eşa kāryavidām nayah, mūle hi sati sidhyanti gunāh puşpaphalādayah/ tad bhavān asyā kāryasya sādhane satyavikramaḥ, buddhivikramasampanno hetur atra paramtapaḥ/guruś ca guruputraś ca tvam hi naḥ kapisattama, bhavantam āśritya vayam samarthā hy arthasādhane/ uktavākyam mahāprājñam jāmbavantam mahākapiḥ, pratyuvācottaram vākyam vālisūnur athāngadaḥ/ yadi nāham gamiṣyāmi nānyo vānarapumgavah, punah khalv idam asmābhih kāryam prāyopaveśanam/ na hy akṛtvā haripateh samdeśam tasya dhīmatah, tatrāpi gatvā prānānām paśyāmi pariraksanam sa hi prasāde cātyartham kope ca harir īśvarah, atītya tasya samdeśam vināśo gamane bhavet/ tad yathā hy asya kāryasya na bhavaty anyathā gatiḥ, tad bhavān eva dṛṣṭārthaḥ samcintayitum arhati/ so 'ngadena tadā vīraḥ pratyuktah playagarsabhah, jāmbayān uttaram vākyam provācedam tato 'ngadam/ asya te vīra kāryasya na kim cit parihīvate, esa samcodavāmy enam vah kārvam sādhavisvati/ tatah pratītam plavatām variştham; ekāntam āśritya sukhopaviştam, samcodayām āsa haripravīro; haripravīram hanumantam eva/

Yuva Raja Angada then asked the Maha Vaanara Veeras by turn and named them as Gaja-Gavaaksha-Gavaya-Sharabha-Gandhamaadana- Mainda- Dvivida - Sushena-and Jambavan. The replies were as follows: Maha Vanara Gaja said that he could jump off by ten yojanas- Gavaksha could cover twenty yojanas-Sharabha confirmed thirty yojanas-Rishabha assured forty yojanas-Gandhamaadana would cover fifty yojanas comfortably- Mainda quoted sixty with enthusiasm- Dvipada by seventy yojanas- and Sushena the dare devil upto eighty yojanas. Then Jambavan stated that in his youthful days and years he no doubt could have crossed the distance from hear to the other shore, but now his present ability would now be restricted to some ninety yojanas but might not be more. Jambavan further confirmed: tāmś ca sarvān hariśreṣṭhāñ jāmbavān punar abravīt, na khalv etāvad evāsīd gamane me parākramaḥ/ mayā mahābalaiś caiva yajñe viṣṇuḥ sanātanaḥ, pradakṣiṇīkṛtaḥ pūrvam kramamāṇas trivikramaḥ/ In the years of yore when Bhagavan Vishnu assumed the incarnation of Vaamana Deva, as Danava Bali Chakravarti bestowed mere three feet of land to Vaamana, then the latter measured mere two feet as earth and urthva lokas and for the third foot was of the nether lokas with Bali down under too. That was the time, Jambavaan recalled he was able to perform full parikrama to the Virat swarupa!

Vishleshana of Vamana's Virat Swarupa from Vaamana Purana:

Vamana Murti displayed his Virat Swarupa: Chandra and Surya were his two Eyes, Shy was his head, Prithvi his feet, Pishachaas were his foot-fingers, Gruhyakaas were his hand fingers, Vishwa Deva

Ganaas were in his jaanus /knees, Sadhyas were his janghaas, Yakshaas were his nails, Apsarsaas were his palm lines, Nakshatras were his Eye sight, Surya kiranas were his hairs, Stars were his body hairs, Maharshiganaas were in the hair roots, Vidishas were his hands, Dishaas were his ears, Ashwini Kumars were his faculty of hearing, Vayu was his nose, Chandra Deva was his joking faculty, Dharma Deva was his thinking capacity, Satya was his voice and Saraswati was his tongue, Deva Mata Aditi was his neck, Vidya was his valiyaas or long poles; Pushas were his eye brows, Swarga dwar was his anus, Vaishvanara his face, Prajapati his vrushanaas, Param Brahma was his heart, Kashyapa Muni was his Pumstwa, Vasu Devata was his back, Marutganaas were his Sandhis, Rudra was his Vakshasthala, Mahaarnavaa was his Dhairya, Gangharvas were in his stomach; Lakshmi, Medha, Dhruti, Kaanti and all Vidyaas were in his 'Kati Pradesha'; the luster and radiance in the total Universe as also the Tapo teja or the power of meditation was the reflection of the magnificence of Natayana; Vedas and Sciptures and the huge Yagnaas and the Sacred Deeds of the Virtuous like Maharshis and Brahmanas were all inside in his 'kukshi' or belly. On viewing the Paramatma's 'Virat Swarupa', the so called 'Mahaasuraas' referred to earlier in ignorance by Chakravarti Bali before Prahlada's curse to him got burnt off like flies before a gigantic out berak of Fire! Having thus occupied the Universe in totality including the sub-terrain Sapta Paatalaas, Vamana Deva stated that since Bali took the water in his hand and donated the THREE FEET of Land, and blessed him to be the King of the Sapta Paatalaas and granted him long life till the and of Manvantara of the on-going Vaisawata Manu.]

Stanza 19 onward continues: aham etad gamişyāmi yojanānām śatam mahat, nivartane tu me śaktih syān na veti na niścitam/ Then buddhhimaan Angada while addressing Jambavan with great respect for his age, valour and enormous 'panditya' said: 'I should no doubt be able to cover hundred yojanas of the Maha Sagara from here to Lanka dwipa, but do not have the confidence of possible return!' Then Jambavan replied to Angada: 'Yuva Raja! Next only to King Sugriva; it should not be proper for you to be sent for this current mission anyway. None of us could ever ask you to undertake this task as per protocol. You are the commander but not the commanded. Kapi Raja! You are our guru and the guru putra; it should be impertinent for us to whom who instructs but never to be instructed! Then Angada out of desperation replied: yadi nāham gamisyāmi nānyo vānarapumgavah, punaḥ khalv idam asmābhiḥ kāryam prāyopaveśanam/ na hy akrtvā haripateh samdeśam tasya dhīmatah, tatrāpi gatvā prāṇānām paśyāmi parirakṣaṇam/ sa hi prasāde cātyartham kope ca harir īśvaraḥ, atītya tasya samdeśam vināśo gamane bhavet/ In case neither I should take the initiative nor any body else could then surely we would return to our peril. Then the following outcome would be obvious. Then what indeed be the possible way out!' The the most experienced Jambavan threw up a way out to Angada: asya te vīra kāryasya na kim cit parihīyate, esa samcodayāmy enam yah kāryam sādhayisyati/ tatah pratītam playatām varistham; ekāntam āśritya sukhopaviṣṭam, samcodayām āsa haripravīro; haripravīram hanumantam eva/Veera Angada! In this 'maha karya' of yours, there would not be even a single slip! Now I am going to commend such a true Maha Medhaavi and Vira shiromani who truly and assuredly competent and accomplished'. Having displayed confidence, Jamabayan asked Angada to accompany to the one and only Anjaneva who was in the form of a small sized Vaanara in a remote corner far from the maddening vanara crowd!

Sarga Sixty Six

<u>Jambavan along with Angada approaches Anjaneya, recalls the background of the latter's birth and past</u> glories, glorifying him up with extraordinary capabilities, while preparing him to cross the Maha Samudra

Anekaśatasāhasrīm viṣaṇṇām harivāhinīm, jāmbavān samudīkṣyaivam hanumantam athābravīt/ vīra vānaralokasya sarvaśāstravidām vara, tūṣṇīm ekāntam āśritya hanuman kim na jalpasi/ hanuman harirājasya sugrīvasya samo hy asi, rāmalakṣmaṇayoś cāpi tejasā ca balena ca/ ariṣṭaneminaḥ putrau vainateyo mahābalaḥ, garutmān iva vikhyāta uttamaḥ sarvapakṣiṇām/ bahuśo hi mayā dṛṣṭaḥ sāgare sa mahābalaḥ, bhujagān uddharan pakṣī mahāvego mahāyaśāḥ/ pakṣayor yad balam tasya tāvad

bhujabalam tava, vikramaś cāpi vegaś ca na te tenāpahīyate/ balam buddhiś ca tejaś ca sattvam ca harisattama, viśiṣṭam sarvabhūteṣu kim ātmānam na budhyase/ apsarāpsarasām śreṣṭhā vikhyātā puñjikasthalā, ajñaneti parikhyātā patnī kesarino hareļ/ abhiśāpād abhūt tāta vānarī kāmarūpiṇī, duhitā vānarendrasya kuñjarasya mahātmanah/ kapitve cārusarvāngī kadā cit kāmarūpiņī, mānuṣam vigraham krtvā vauvanottamaśālinī/ acarat parvatasyāgre prāvrdambudasamnibhe, vicitramālvābharanā mahārhakṣaumavāsinī/ tasyā vastram viśālākṣyāḥ pītam raktadaśam śubham, sthitāyāḥ parvatasyāgre māruto 'paharac chanaiḥ/ sa dadarśa tatas tasyā vṛttāv ūrū susamhatau, stanau ca pīnau sahitau sujātam cāru cānanam/ tām viśālāyataśronīm tanumadhyām yaśasvinīm, dṛṣṭvaiva śubhasarvāgnīm pavanaḥ kāmamohitah/ sa tām bhujābhyām pīnābhyām paryasvajata mārutah, manmathāvistasarvāngo gatātmā tām aninditām/ sā tu tatraiva sambhrāntā suvrttā vākyam abravīt, ekapatnīvratam idam ko nāśayitum icchati/ añjanāyā vacah śrutvā mārutah pratyabhāsata, na tvām himsāmi suśroni mā bhūt te subhage bhayam/ manasāsmi gato yat tvām parisvajya yaśasvini, vīryavān buddhisampannah putras tava bhavişyati/ abhyutthitam tatah sūryam bālo dṛṣṭvā mahāvane, phalam ceti jighṛkṣus tvam utplutyābhyapato divam/ śatāni trīṇi gatvātha yojanānām mahākape, tejasā tasya nirdhūto na viṣādam tato gatah/ tāvad āpatatas tūrnam antariksam mahākape, ksiptam indrena te vairam krodhāvistena dhīmatā/ tataḥ śailāgraśikhare vāmo hanur abhajyata, tato hi nāmadheyam te hanumān iti kīrtyate/ tatas tvām nihatam dṛṣṭvā vāyur gandhavahaḥ svayam, trailokye bhṛśasamkruddho na vavau vai prabhañjanah/ sambhrāntāś ca surāh sarve trailokye ksubhite sati, prasādayanti samkruddham mārutam bhuvaneśvarāh/ prasādite ca pavane brahmā tubhyam varam dadau, aśastravadhyatām tāta samare satyavikrama/ vajrasya ca nipātena virujam tvām samīksya ca, sahasranetrah prītātmā dadau te varam uttamam/ svacchandataś ca maraṇam te bhūyād iti vai prabho, sa tvam kesariṇaḥ putraḥ kṣetrajo bhīmavikramaḥ/ mārutasyaurasaḥ putras tejasā cāpi tatsamaḥ, tvam hi vāyusuto vatsa plavane cāpi tatsamah/vayam adya gataprāṇā bhavān asmāsu sāmpratam, dākṣyavikramasampannaḥ pakṣirāja ivāparah/ trivikrame mayā tāta saśailavanakānanā, trih saptakṛtvah pṛthivī parikrāntā pradaksinam/ tadā causadhayo 'smābhih samcitā devaśāsanāt nispannam amrtam yābhis tadāsīn no mahad balam sa idānīm aham vrddhaḥ parihīnaparākramaḥ, sāmpratam kālam asmākam bhavān sarvaguṇānvitaḥ/ tad vijṛmbhasva vikrāntaḥ plavatām uttamo hy asi, tvadvīryam draṣṭukāmeyam sarvā vānaravāhinī/ uttiṣṭha hariśārdūla langhayasva mahārnavam, parā hi sarvabhūtānām hanuman yā gatis tava/ viṣāṇṇā harayaḥ sarve hanuman kim upeksase, vikramasva mahāvego visnus trīn vikramān iva/tatas tu vai jāmbavatābhicoditaḥ; pratītavegaḥ pavanātmajaḥ kapiḥ, praharṣayaṁs tāṁ harivīra vāhinīṁ; cakāra rūpam mahad ātmanas tadā/

As the full strength of lakhs of Vanaras were assembled on the Sea shore, Jambavan addressed Veera Anjaneya: vīra vānaralokasya sarvaśāstravidām vara, tūsnīm ekāntam āśritya hanuman kim na jalpasi/ hanuman harirājasya sugrīvasya samo hy asi, rāmalaksmaṇayoś cāpi tejasā ca balena ca/aristaneminaḥ putrau vainateyo mahābalah, garutmān iva vikhyāta uttamah sarvapaksinām/ Veeraanjaneya! Samasta Shastra Vetta! Why are you seated secluded here quitely on a corner in this miniature 'swarupa'! You are of Sugriva's par with, if not excel, by brawn and brain; in fact of Rama Laksmana's calibre and of eminence. We know of Kashyapa Prajapati and his progeny of Garuda, the son of Vinata who is reputed as the fastet of the Beings on earth, but indeed that is a weak comparison against you - the 'manojavam maaruta tulya vegam, jitendriyam buddhimataam varishtham, vaataatmajam,vaanara yudha mukhyam, Shri Rama dutam sharanam prapadye! Hanuman! I have seen Maha Garuda several times flying across the Samudras and from his mouth are seen Maha Sarpas. His wings, their sweep, their strength, and parakrama are no less than of yours. balam buddhiś ca tejaś ca sattvam ca harisattama, viśistam sarvabhūteṣu kim ātmānam na budhyase/ Vaanara shiromani! Your bala-buddhhi-tejas-and dharya is the outstanding of all the Beings in Brahma shrishti. Then Mahaanjaneya! Why indeed are you not yet ready for jumping off this Samudra! Veeranjaneya! Your origin and of birth are indescribable: Pujikasthala was indeed a famed Apsrasa was cursed to be born as 'Kapini' or Vanara Stree famed as Anjana who was wedded to Kesari. As the Kapini had the ability to assume any form as she pleased and during the rainy season was seated on a mountain top dressed is silks, with priceless ornaments and derorated with sweet odoured flowers. Then there was a sweep of wind and Devi Anjana and Vayu Deva touched her tightly.

sā tu tatraiva sambhrāntā suvrttā vākyam abravīt, ekapatnīvratam idam ko nāśayitum icchati/ añjanāyā vacah śrutvā mārutah pratyabhāsata, na tvām himsāmi suśroni mā bhūt te subhage bhayam/ But Devi Anjana was an ideal 'Pativrata' and in that hesitative concern, did not make futher advances and was in act terribly afraid. Then Vayu Deva smilled reassuringly and said: 'Who indeed wishes to spoil your paativratya vrata! Sushreni! Don't you be scared as your mind must be rid of misleading thoughts. manasāsmi gato yat tvām parisvajya yaśasvini, vīryavān buddhisampannah putras tava bhavişyati/ abhyutthitam tatah sūryam bālo dṛṣṭvā mahāvane, phalam ceti jighṛkṣus tvam utplutyābhyapato divam/ Yashasyini! I would only like to embrace you mentally by way of 'maanasika sankalpa' but not physically. As a result of such 'maanasika samyoga', you would be blessed with a 'Maha Bala Paraakrama, Buddhi Sampanna Putra praapti' who could cross oceans with speed and great ease! Subsequently, Anjana Devi gave birth in a mountain cave! Even in childhood, you always felt that urva Deva too was a sweet fruit on the sky. śatāni trīni gatvātha vojanānām mahākape, tejasā tasva nirdhūto na viṣādam tato gatah/ tāvad āpatatas tūrṇam antarikṣam mahākape, kṣiptam indreṇa te vajram krodhāvistena dhīmatā/ tataḥ śailāgraśikhare vāmo hanur abhajyata, tato hi nāmadheyam te hanumān iti kīrtvate/ Maha Kape! Therefore you jumped up by three hundred yojanas once and felt that you could not still reach Surya. You kept on trying and finally reached Surya Deva, but Indra Deva was angry and hit you with his Vajraayudha. That was why your left side - hanu- was hurt and hence your name is 'hanuman'! On seeing the entire scene, Vayu Deva was terribly concerned and thus the Prabhanjana Deva Vaayu stopped his movement in trilokas and thenthe Ashta Dikpalakas tried their best but finally Brahma Deva had to pacify Vayu Deva blessing Anjaneya would be immune from 'astra shastras'! vajrasya ca nipātena virujam tvām samīkṣya ca, sahasranetraḥ prītātmā dadau te varam uttamam/ svacchandatas ca maraṇam te bhūyād iti vai prabho, sa tvam kesariṇaḥ putraḥ kṣetrajo bhīmavikramaḥ/ mārutasyaurasaḥ putras tejasā cāpi tatsamah, tvam hi vāyusuto vatsa plavane cāpi tatsamah/ Anjaneya! Even 'vajra prahara' by Indra Deva would be futile on your body and Mrityu is in your contol'. Finally, Maha Jaambayaan asserted: tad vijrmbhasya vikrāntah playatām uttamo hy asi, tyadvīryam drastukāmeyam sarvā vānaravāhinī/ uttistha hariśārdūla laṅghayasva mahārnavam, parā hi sarvabhūtānāṁ hanuman yā gatis tava/ viṣāṇṇā harayaḥ sarve hanuman kim upekṣase, vikramasva mahāvego viṣṇus trīn vikramān iva/Parakrami Mahaanjaneya! Now is the time that you have to proclaim to the trilokas to heighen your stature as the Vanara Sena is longing to witness what you really indeed are. Kindly get up and cross this Maha Sagara in one jump as that indeed is a sure step for Loka Kalyana. All the Vaanara Veeras are right now are on the verge of collapse. As Maha Vishnu as Vamana Deva measured the Universe with three steps, please put forth three steps ahead to sure success!

Sarga Sixty Seven

As Hanuman was enthused and readied to cross the Maha Sagara, he dashed forward to Mahendra Parvata and climbed it with ease

Samstūyamāno hanumān vyavardhata mahābalaḥ, samāvidhya ca lāngūlam harṣāc ca balam eyivān/
tasya samstūyamānasya sarvair vānarapumgavaiḥ, tejasāpūryamāṇasya rūpam āsīd anuttamam/ yathā
vijṛmbhate simho vivṛddho girigahvare, mārutasyaurasaḥ putras tathā samprati jṛmbhate/ aśobhata
mukham tasya jṛmbhamāṇasya dhīmataḥ, ambarīṣopamam dīptam vidhūma iva pāvakaḥ/ harīṇām utthito
madhyāt samprahṛṣṭatanūruhaḥ, abhivādya harīn vṛddhān hanumān idam abravīt/ arujan parvatāgrāṇi
hutāśanasakho 'nilaḥ, balavān aprameyaś ca vāyur ākāśagocaraḥ/ tasyāham śīghravegasya śīghragasya
mahātmanaḥ, mārutasyaurasaḥ putraḥ plavane nāsti me samaḥ/ utsaheyam hi vistīrṇam ālikhantam
ivāmbaram, merum girim asamgena parigantum sahasraśaḥ/ bāhuvegapraṇunnena sāgareṇāham utsahe,
samāplāvayitum lokam saparvatanadīhradam/ mamorujanghāvegena bhaviṣyati samutthitaḥ,
sammūrchita mahāgrāhaḥ samudro varuṇālayaḥ/ pannagāśanam ākāśe patantam pakṣisevitam,
vainateyam aham śaktaḥ parigantum sahasraśaḥ/ udayāt prasthitam vāpi jvalantam raśmimālinam,
anastamitam ādityam abhigantum samutsahe/ tato bhūmim asamspṛśya punar āgantum utsahe,
pravegenaiva mahatā bhīmena plavagarṣabhāḥ/ utsaheyam atikrāntum sarvān ākāśagocarān, sāgaram

ksobhayisyāmi dārayisyāmi medinīm/ parvatān kampayisyāmi plavamānah plavamgamāh, harisye coruvegena plavamāno mahārṇavam/ latānām vīrudhām puṣpam pādapānām ca sarvaśaḥ, anuyāsyati mām adya plavamānam vihāyasā, bhaviṣyati hi me panthāh svāteh panthā ivāmbare/ carantam ghoram ākāśam utpatiṣyantam eva ca, drakṣyanti nipatantam ca sarvabhūtāni vānarāh/ mahāmerupratīkāśam mām draksvadhvam plavamgamāh, divam āvrtva gacchantam grasamānam ivāmbaram/ vidhamisvāmi jīmūtān kampayiṣyāmi parvatān, sāgaram kṣobhayiṣyāmi plavamānaḥ samāhitaḥ/ vainateyasya vā śaktir mama vā mārutasya vā, rte suparņarājānam mārutam vā mahābalam, na hi bhūtam prapasyāmi yo mām plutam anuvrajet/ nimesāntaramātrena nirālambhanam ambaram, sahasā nipatisvāmi ghanād vidvud ivotthitā/ bhavisyati hi me rūpam plavamānasya sāgaram, visnoh prakramamānasya tadā trīn vikramān iva/ buddhyā cāham prapaśyāmi manaś cestā ca me tathā, aham draksyāmi vaidehīm pramodadhyam plavamgamāh/ mārutasya samo vege garudasya samo jave, ayutam vojanānām tu gamisyāmīti me matih/ vāsavasya savajrasya brahmano vā svayambhuvah, vikramya sahasā hastād amrtam tad ihānaye, lankām vāpi samutksipya gaccheyam iti me matih/ tam evam vānaraśrestham garjantam amitaujasam, uvāca parisamhrsto jāmbavān harisattamaḥ/ vīra kesariṇaḥ putra vegavan mārutātmaja, jñātīnām vipulam śokas tvavā tāta pranāśitah/ tava kalvānarucavah kapimukhyāh samāgatāh, maṅgalaṁ kāryasiddhyartham karişyanti samāhitāh/ rsīṇām ca prasādena kapivrddhamatena ca,gurūṇām ca prasādena plavasva tvam mahārṇavam/ sthāsyāmaś caikapādena yāvadāgamanam tava, tvadgatāni ca sarvesām jīvitāni vanaukasām/ tatas tu hariśārdūlas tān uvāca vanaukasah, nevam mama mahī vegam plavane dhārayisyati/ etāni hi nagasyāsya śilāsamkataśālinah, śikharāni mahendrasya sthirāni ca mahānti ca/ etāni mama nispeṣam pādayoḥ patatām varāḥ, plavato dhārayiṣyanti yojanānām itaḥ śatam/ tatas tu mārutaprakhyaḥ sa harir mārutātmajaḥ, āruroha nagaśreṣṭham mahendram arimardanaḥ vṛtam nānāvidhair vṛkṣair mṛgasevitaśādvalam, latākusumasambādham nityapuṣpaphaladrumam/ simha śārdūla caritam mattamātangasevitam, mattadvijaganodghustam salilotpīdasamkulam/ mahadbhir ucchritam śrngair mahendram sa mahābalah, vicacāra hariśrestho mahendrasamavikramah/ pādābhyām pīditas tena mahāśailo mahātmanā, rarāsa simhābhihato mahān matta iva dvipah/ mumoca salilotpīdān viprakīrnaśiloccayah, vitrastamṛgamātaṅgah prakampitamahādrumah/ nānāgandharvamithunaih pānasamsargakarkaśaih, utpatadbhir vihamgaiś ca vidyādharaganair api/ tyajyamānamahāsānuh samnilīnamahoragah, śailaśrngaśilodghātas tadābhūt sa mahāgirih/ nihśvasadbhis tadā tais tu bhujagair ardhanihsrtaih, sapatāka ivābhāti sa tadā dharanīdharah/ rsibhis trāsa sambhrāntais tvajvamānah śiloccayaḥ, sīdan mahati kāntāre sārthahīna ivādhvagaḥ/ sa vegavān vegasamāhitātmā; haripravīraḥ paravīrahantā, manah samādhāya mahānubhāvo; jagāma laṅkāṁ manasā manasvī/

As Hanuman was ready to cross the Maha Samudra with gusto, the Vanara Sena which had hither to were drowned in incapacity, helplessness and preparedness for self sacrifices, roared in ecstasy. Samstūyamāno hanumān vyavardhata mahābalah, samāvidhya ca lāngūlam harṣāc ca balam eyivān/ Enthused by their frenzy, he gradually increased his height and the proportionate volume of his body, just as Vamana Deva did. harīṇām utthito madhyāt samprahṛṣṭatanūruhaḥ, abhivādya harīn vṛddhān hanumān idam abravīt/ arujan parvatāgrāni hutāśanasakho 'nilah, balavān apramevaś ca vāvur ākāśagocarah/ tasvāham śīghrayegasya śīghragasya mahātmanah, mārutasyaurasah putrah playane nāsti me samah/ Veera Hanuman stood amidst the Vaanaras and addressed them especially the elderly Vanara Vriddhas thus: 'I am of the strength and speed of Vaayu Deva, my originator and am possessive of endless energy. Vayu Deva is a great friend of Agni Deva! I am blessed with the might of destryoing mountains to pieces. Being the step son of Vayu Deva, my single jump could cross Maha Samudras. I could perform thousand parikramas of the thousand yojana spread of Maha Meru Parvata. bāhuvegapraņunnena sāgareṇāham utsahe, samā -plāvayitum lokam saparvatanadīhradam/ mamorujanghāvegena bhavişyati samutthitah, sammūrchita mahāgrāhah samudro varuṇālayaḥ/ pannagāśanam ākāśe patantam pakṣisevitam, vainateyam aham śaktah parigantum sahasraśah/ With the unimaginable might of my shoulders and hands, I could splash and pound the high waves of Maha Samudras, and create devastation and mahem of high mountains. Lord Varuna's nivasa of Sapta Sagaras [Sapta Samudras: Lavana or Salt, Ikshurasa or Sugarcane juice, Sura or Wine, Ghrita or Classified Butter, Dahi or Curd, Ksheera or Milk and Suswada or Sweet Water] could be violently shaken to distress. Vaanara vriddhaas! Like Maha Veera Garuda the

elder son of Vinata Devi is in the habit of 'akaasha parikrama' and my ability is such that I could comfortably perform such parikramas by thousand times. I could follow Surya Deva in his regular daily pradakshinas from Udayaagiri to the Astamaagiri! utsaheyam atikrāntum sarvān ākāśagocarān, sāgaram kşobhayişyāmi dārayişyāmi medinīm/ parvatān kampayişyāmi plavamānah plavamgamāh, harişye coruvegena plavamāno mahārnavam/ Surely I have the capacity and aptitude to cross ahead of Nava Grahas, dry up oceans, destroy mountains, and keep jumping across the universe! buddhyā cāham prapaśyāmi manaś ceṣṭā ca me tathā, aham drakṣyāmi vaidehīm pramodadhvam plavamgamāḥ/ mārutasva samo vege garudasva samo jave, avutam vojanānām tu gamisvāmīti me matih/ vāsavasva savajrasya brahmano vā svayambhuvah, vikramya sahasā hastād amrtam tad ihānaye, lankām vāpi samutksipva gacchevam iti me matih/ Vaanaras! As I apply my mind and cogitate, so do the circumstances and conditions too shape up likewise. My decisiveness right now is to see Videha Kumari's immediate darshan; now, you folks! Enjoy now and rejoice with very quick and most positive results and sweet fruits. I am only comparable to Vayu Deva and Garuda Deva; my strong belief and firm conviction at present is that I could comfortably undertake a rapid run of ten thousand yojanas of distance by air! Believe me my friends, right now, my morale and enthusiasm is such that I could seize and secure 'amrit' from the hands of Vajradhaari Indra or even Svayambhu Brahma Deva himself! Of which avail is, after all, pulling and uprooting the Kingdom Ravanasur's Lanka!' As Veera Hanuman assured thumping success from his tour of Lanka and back, the huge mass of Vaanaras paid sky high tributes, clappings, and victory shoutings of feverish rejoicings. Then commenced 'Swasti Vachanaas' and high tributes to the hero stating: ṛṣīnām ca prasādena kapivṛddhamatena ca,gurūṇām ca prasādena plavasva tvam mahārnavam/ sthāsvāmaś caikapādena vāvadāgamanam tava, tvadgatāni ca sarvesām jīvitāni vanaukasām/ 'Maha Vanara Anjaneya! May you carry with you in your epic like tour by crossing the Maha Sagara with memorable success and safe return the heart felt blessings of Maharshis, Gurus, Elders and friends. We would all await your successful travel and very fruitful return; do trust us that your suucess would provide us all a fresh lease of our lives.' Hanuman replied: As I would now jump and cross the Samudra, be assured that in the universe none could ever imitate. My initial jump would be to the top of Mahendra Parvata which is replete with trees bearing juicy and sweet fruits.' Thus, the Maha Kapeshvara reached, selected a few luscious fruits, enjoyed them relaxingly and remebered of Lanka fotthwith for the subsequent jump forward.

Hanuman, Anjana soonur, Vaayu putro, Maha Balah, Rameshthah, Phalguna sakhah, Pingaakshomita vikramah, udadhih kramanaschiva, Sita shoka vinaashanah, Lakshmana praana daataacha, Dasha grivascha darpah, dwadshataani namaani Kapeendrasya Mahatmanah, svaapakale pathennityam yaatrakaale visheshah, tasya mrityu bhayam naasti, savatra vijayee bhavet/

ESSENCE OF VALMIKI SUNDARA RAMAYANA

PREFACE

Manojavam Maaruta tulya vegam jitendriyam buddhimataam varishtham, aataatmajam Vaanara yudha mukhyam Sri Rama dutam sharanam prapadye/ Atulita baladhaamam hemashailaabhideham, danujavana krishaanum jnaani naama agraganyam/ Sakala guna nidhaanam vaanaraanaamadheesham Raghupatipriya bhaktam Vaatajaatam namaami/ Om ham Hanumate namah/Buddhi balam yasho dhairyam nirbhayatvam arogataa, ajaadyam vaakpatutvam cha Hanutsmaranaaadbhavet/Yatra yatra Raghunadha keertanam, tatra tatrakritamastakaanjalim/ Baashpavaari paripurna lochanam Maarutim namata raakshsaantakam/

Undoubtedly Hanuman, is the key to Sundara Khanda Valmiki Ramayana. Totally dedicated to the 'Rama Karya' of 'Sitanveshana', He assumed gigantic body frame, crossed the 'Maha Sagara' of a distance of hundred yojanas as being literally air borne, gets welcomed on way by Mainaka Mountain- the very few that Indra spared with flying caliber with the assistance of Vayu Deva; encounters Daksha Kumari Maha Sarpi Surasa about to devour him, quicky assuming a miniature finger ring form, ready for her devouring as she too realising the auspicious Rama Karya of Sitaanveshana blesses on exit from her body; kills Rakshasi Simhika the 'Lankapuri Dwaara Palika' by enhancing his height manifold; and enjoying the aerial view of Lankapuri, finally entered Ravanasura' kingdom, each time by appropriately maximising or miniaturising his body with daring self-confidence. Veera Vayu Putra- born of Vayu- Anjana by mere body 'sparsha'- then entered Ravana's 'anthapura'- viz. the Pushpaka Vimana seized from Kubera Dikpalaka who was Ravana's first cousin; saw for himself the amazing scene of countless wives of gandharva-naaga-yaksha-daitya-rakshasa kanyas of rare beauty and grace, including the Prime Queen Mandodari Pativrata, being immersed with wine-dance-and music in Ravana's company in his large bed. Yet Devi Sita was not visible there. Further continuing his extensive and intensive 'Sitaanveshana', finally located her amid detesteable looking- raw flesh eating- cruel Rakashasis, as she wore dusted, crumpled 'eka vastra' crying away incessantly and desperately in 'Pramadaavana' under 'Ashoka Maha Vriksha. Ravana entered with his wives, endeared Devi Sita first, but on hearing her 'parusha vakyaas', got furious and granted a two month reprieve before her sliced body would reach the royal kitchen. There after, Anjaneya having convinced Devi Sita by crooning Shri Rama's heritage, bravery and glory gradually, handed over Rama's finger ring, convinced that Shri Rama Lakshmana Sugrivas were eveready to arrive with Vanara Veeras and relieve her grief. Then he initiated a spree of killings of Rakshasa Veeras as instructed by Ravana, pretended that he was bound by Indrajjits's brahmastra, faced Ravana in his Sabha who was infuriated by his warnings, but on Vibhishana's advice, allowed his tail to be put to flames, when he burnt off Lankapuri to destruction, returned to Kishkindha, handed over Devi Sita's choodamani explaining Devi Sita's status and got initiated action to attack Ravana and followers. .

Recalling Kanchimuth's HH Vijayendra Saraswati's kind instruction to me last year to translate Valmiki Ramayana in its Essence form, the 'Baala- Ayodhya- Aranya-Kishkindha- and now the Sundara Khandas' have since been attempted so far. Our entire family is beholden to the glorious lineage of the Excellencies, especially Maha Swami, and now the present 'Baala Vaaru' who has been driving me to action for attempting translations of Ashtaadasha Puranas, Ashtaadasha Upanishads, Dharma Sindhu, Brahma Sutras, Paraashara Smriti, Manu Smriti, Soundarya Lahari, Bhagavad Gita, Sahasra Naamas, Sahasra Lingarchana Vidhana and various scripts on Ganesha-Gayatri-Lakshmi-Vaakdevi- Bhaskara-Chandra-Pancha Maha Bhutas- Parmaardha Saara of Kashmiri Shaivism and so on for over decade and half.Our earnest prostrations to Him seeking His continued blessings.

VDN Rao and family

CONTENTS

Preface-

Retrospective: Bala Khanda-Ayodhya Khanda-Aranya Khanda-Kishkindha Khanda

Sarga One: Veera Hanuman leaps off the Ocean towards Ravana's Lanka, gets welcomed on way by Mainaka, encounters Surasa and subdues, kills Simhika, and enjoys the aerial view of Lanka [Vishleshanas 1) on Anjaneya's self confidence to cross the Maha Sagara, his decisiveness as expressed by himself vide Sarga 67 of Kishkindha Ramayana 2) Vishleshana on Sagara Chakravarti: as sourced from Maha Bhagavata Purana]

Sarga Two: Description of Lankapuri's beauty, thoughts about the size in which he shoud enter the interiors of the city and on the descripiton Chandrodaya. [[Vishleshanas on a) Bilwa Swarga of Maga Nagas b) Kubera

Sargas Three and Four: As Hanuman sought to enter, Rakshasi Nishachari is encountered, he subdues her seriously; she recalls Brahma's warning that once a Vanara gives a hit to her, then Lanka gets its doom and lets him in! Then Hanuman enters Ravana's 'antahpura' comprising many palaces but gets disappointed.

Sarga Five: Hanuman then enters the 'antahpura' or the interior palaces of Ramanasura systematically but gets disappointed with no sign and indication of Devi Sita

Sarga Six: Hanuman then extended the scope of search for Devi Sita in Ravana's own palace, besides at the houses of his follower Rakshasaas

Sargas Seven and Eight: Description of Ravana Bhavana viz. Pushpaka Vimana-Hanuman witnesses the inside out of the Pushpaka Vimana - indeed it was surfiet with Sundara Kanyas [Vishleshana on Maha Lakshmi Swarupas]

Sarga Nine: In the process of 'Devi Sitaanveshana' in the Pushpaka Vimana in Ravana's residence, Hanuman witnessed countless 'strees' of youthful charm being playful inside; why had Ravana forcefully abducted Sita, despite his reputation of never forcing a woman but willingly married! [Vishleshanas a) on Maharshi Vasishtha and Kama Dhenu Shabala- b) Panchendriyas]

Sarga Ten: In the process of searching for Devi Sita, Hanuman was confused by seeing Devi Mandodari to Devi Sita!

[Vishleshana on Devi Mandodari]

Sarga Eleven: Hanuman on seeing Mandori, took time self assure about Devi Sita, continued the search even while self introspecting of his own honesty in the atmosphere of food-dance and lust; yet dismissed such thoughts

Sarga Twelve: Hanuman in his remote thoughts wondered and was even concerned of Devi Sita's very existence but quickly recovered from such apprehensions resumed 'Sitanveshana'yet again with confidence and belief!

[Vishleshana on Continued Endeavor towards success vide Bhagavad Gita

Sarga Thirteen: Despite his sincere efforts of finding Devi Sita, the indications were slimmed and might even return disappointed. Yet, Sampati assured and visited 'Ashoka Vaatika' [Vishleshana on Sampaati's assurance to Vaanara Sena vide Kishkindha Ramayana Sarga 63]

Sarga Fourteen: While admiring Ashoka Vaatika's prakriti soundarya, Hanuman mused as to how Devi Sita would be happy as she was stated to be an admirer of Prakriti Soundarya

Sarga Fifteen: Hanuman yet in his miniature form finally visioned Devi Sita near a 'Chaitya Praasaada Mandira' and identified her and felt ecstatic [Vishleshana on Sankhya Shastra vide Brahma Sutras]

Sarga Sixteen: Hanuman having finally ensured that Devi Sita was visioned, felt that as to why she, an outstanding Pativrata, why and how Ravana has been disgusting, yet sad. Vishleshana on Rama killing Karbandha who described his 'Atma Katha' ref. Sarga 69, Aranya Khanda]

Sarga Seventeen: Hanuman was nodoubt happy to see Devi Sita most closely with sympathy, yet contrarily was repulsed with hatred at the sight of the Rakshasa strees encircling her

Sarga Eighteen: Ravanasura along with his beloved females enters Ashoka Vatika and the spot where Devi Sita was being guarded as seen by Anjaneya in his miniature form

Sarga Ninteen: Even with a single nasty and desolate glance of the detestable Ravanasura, Devi Sita was drownded in gloom-fear-and apprehension as noticed by Hanuman

Sarga Twenty: Ravana then addresses Devi Sita opening his heart fancying her, praises her origin, charm and conduct, and seeks to convince her to discard fear complex, to be sympthetic to him, and wait for her consent

Sarga Twenty One: Devi Sita emboldens herself and replies highlighting Ravana's wretched manner of abducting her and of his features of cruelty, selfishmess, and ego; mocks his ability and readiness to face hero Rama.

Sarga Twenty Two: As Sita heckled Ravana's claim of heroism and his stealthy timidity, asserted her 'pativratya', and challenged him to face Rama- as Ravana threatenend her granting three months to change or get killed

Sarga Twenty Three: Select Rakshasis of learning like Ekajata-Harijata-Vikataand Durmikhi extoll the qualities of bravery of Ravanasura while seeking to convincing pressurise Devi Sita to accept the offer of Prime Queenship

[Vishleshana on Prajapatis, Adityas, Rudras, Vasus and Ashvini Kumars]

Sarga Twenty Four: While a few of enlightened Rakshasis sought to convince Devi Sita to wed Ravana, the rest of the cruel lot threatened her to death and fancy to taste her flesh, cook it with spices, and eat with wine and dance!

Sargas Twenty Five and Twenty Six: Totally rattled by the perilous intimidation of the Rakshasis to nearly kill her and celebrate, Devi Sita nearly resorted to 'praana tyaaga' especially cursing her fate still disabling her from Shri Rama darshana.

Sarga Twenty Seven: Even as the cruelmost Rakshasis surrounded Devi Sita to attack, the eldest of them named Trijata screamed from her ominous dream and described tragic forebodes of 'Lanka Vinaashana' too soon [Vishleshana of two birds seated on the same branch of a tree-source Mundaka Upanishad]

Sargas Twenty Eight and Twenty Nine: Despite Trijata's 'dussvapna' foreboding shouts of disasters about Ravana and Lanka Rajya, Devi Sita continued to cry shell shocked; however gradually recoverd due to her own forevisions of auspiciousness [Vishleshana on Indra entering Devi Diti's garbha sourced from Maha Bhagavata Purana:

Sarga Thirty: Hanuman witnessesd series of Ravana's sweet offers to wed Sita, her no-nonse reaction, his three month notice, violent threats of Rakshasis, Trijata's forebodings, now desires to appear before her, but how!

Sargas Thirty One and Thirty Two: Veera Hanuman sings Shri Rama Katha exclusively for Devi Sita but she wonders its genuinness!

Sarga Thirty Three: Then Hanuman appears before Devi Sita in his own form and conveys about Shri Rama's welfare, his arrival here, and assures Rama's arrival soon.

Sarga Thirty Four: Devi Sita still unconvinced fully about Hanuman' guineness he describes Rama's physical features and mental acumen and bravery, pleading his own authenticity.

Sarga Thirty Five: Devi Sita finally concedes Hanuman's genuineness- then he describes Rama's 'guna ganaas', how Rama missed her, Sugriva's help repaying Rama's help by killing Vaali- Sampati's guidance to reach her.

[Vishleskana on a) Vedas and Vedangas b) [Comprehensive Vishleshana on a) Kesari-Shambanaada-Anjana Kumari; b)-Vayu Deva and Anjana Devi-c) Glory of Anjaneya d) Hanuman and Ravanaasura]

Sarga Thirty Six: Maha Veera Hanuman bestows Shri Rama's finger ring to Devi Sita as a memory refresher- the highly excited Devi Sita falls back to her memory screen, as Hanuman assures Rama's arrival too soon!

[Vishleshana on Danava Anuhlaada-Shachi Devi- Indra]

Sarga Thirty Seven: As Devi Sita seeks Hanuman to hasten Shri Rama's arrival at Lanka, Hanuman suggests carrying her and reach Rama swiftly, but she declines giving reasons, especially stressing Rama's invincibility.

SargaThirty Eight: Before handing over her 'choodaamani' to Hanuman , Devi Sita recalled how Rama expressed his concern by using 'brahmaastra' on a crow- Indra's son- pestered her ; the crow went from pillar to post and fell at Rama's feet; though Rama pardoned, still had to block any crows's vision of left eye eversince!

Sarga Thirty Nine: Having taken the possession of precious Sita 'Choodaamani' as a proof of meeting her, Hanuman felt elated to display his grit, devotion and resolution to all concerned, especially for the delight of Rama!

Sarga Forty: Devi Sita reiterated what Anjaneya should convey to Rama about her life's threats while handing over hair clip to Shri Rama; Hanuman reiterates his reaching Rama's soonest. [Vishleshana on the sources of precious pearls from Essence of Soundarya Lahari]

Sarga Forty One: Veera Hanuman devastates Ashoka Vaatika- on witnessing this the frightened Rakshasis surrounding Devi Sita ran away to Ravanasura stating some Celestial Being had reached at the Ashoka Vaatika to destroy it

Sarga Forty Two: Ravanasura on learning of a stranger devastating Pramadaavana, despatches a strong regiment of his army of well trained eight thousand rakshasa force named Kinkaraas.

Sarga Forty Three: Mahabali Vayu Putra then devastates 'Chityapraasaada'-the Rakshasa Kuladevatashthana and the rakshasas around it.

Sarga Forty Four: Veeranjaneya smashes the expertise of 'baana-prayoga' of the Maha Rakshasa Jambumali, as Ravanaasura decided to utilise the extraordinary skills of archrey of the Prahasta Putra to pull down the enemy.

Sarga Forty Five: As Hanuman successevily killed Kinkaras and Jambumaali and demolished Pramadaavana and Chatya Praasada along with inmates, enraged Ravana instructed the mighty sons of his Minsters to face Hanuman

Sarga Forty Six: With successive deaths of his select Rakshasa Veeras, Ravanasura had wondered that even one Vanara of Hanuman demoralised him as a wake up call and despatched his five Senapatis who too were killed!

Sarga Forty Seven: Anxiously awaiting Hanuman's destruction by the Five Senapatis and army forces, Ravana got negative messages. As he was dismayed, his son Akshaya Kumara, well versed in war tactics, then too his turn.

Sarga Forty Eight: Shattered with putra shoka and humiliation, Ravana finally asked Indrajit to use his brahmastra to end up the menace of Hanuman and save the Rakshasa Samrajya and his personal prestige and fame at stake! [Vishleshana on Astra Vidya and illustrative 'Mantrika Astras]

Sarga Forty Nine: Veera Hanuman was no doubt impressed by Ravasasura's accompishments and his own personalised feelings.

Sarga Fifty: Pretending as bounded by Indrajit's Brahmaastra, though Brahma granted his immunity, Hanuman faced Ravana whose Minister asked him why he visited Lanka; he confirmed, he was Shri Rama's messenger.

[Vishleshana on 1. Nandishwara and 2. Baanasura]

Sarga Fifty One: Addressing Ravana, Veera Hanuman detailed Shri Rama's 'Prabhava' and warned that if Devi Sita were in any way hurt, that would be the instant final doom of Ravana and Lanka; Ravana went mad with fury.

[Vishleshana on Ravana's disgraced encounter with Vaali]

Sarga Fifty Two: Infuriated by Hanuman's insinuasions of Ravanas's record of failures and praising Rama's successes, Ravanasura orders the vanara be killed-Vibhishana pleads against killing a messenger, as Ravana heeds

[Vishleshana on Ravanasura's origin, family background and accomplishments in brief] [Vishleshana on Parama Shiva's destruction of Tripuraasuras vide Kurma Purana

Sarga Fifty Three: As Vibhishana appealed, Ravana consents to burn Hanuman's tail to display the blazings to Lanka's public. As Rakshasis conveyed, Sita prays to Agni to lessen the heat. Hanuman starts the revenge.

Sarga Fifty Four: Hanuman's vengeful 'Lanka Dahana and Vidhvamasha' as the Rakshasaas were shocked wonderstruck whether he was of Rudra Swarupa or Rama Bhakta! [Vishleshana on Parama Shiva's destruction of Tripuraasuras vide Kurma Purana]

Sarga Fifty Five: Veera Anjaneya's successful 'Lanka Dahana' but concerned of Devi Sita' safety- her 'punardarshana'

Sarga Fifty Six:Hanuman reassuring Devi Sita of soonest arrival of Rama Laksamanas, jumped off from Arishta Parvata to cross the Maha Sagara as vanara pramukhas were waiting anxiously.

Sarga Fifty Seven: As Vayu Putra dashed through thick sky high clouds to return to the ever awaiting Vanara yoddhas, the latter were ever concerned, but his return overjoyed them especially Angada and Jambavan

Sarga Fifty Eighty:On his victorius return from Ravana's Lankapuri, Hanuman briefly detailed the happenings, especially Devi Sita darshana, killing spree of Rakshasas, challenge to Ravana, burning his tail and Lanka dhvamsa.

Sarga Fifty Nine: Veeranjaneya makes a fervent appeal Vaanaraveeras like Jambavaan-Angada-Neela- or Ashvini Kumara Putras Mainda- Dvividaas to relieve Devi Sita from Ravana's cluches for her inhuman harassment.

Sarga Sixty: As Hanuman returned successfully, Angada suggested another collective attack, destroy Ravana and others, bring Devi Sita back, but Jambavan advised to return and report back only!

Sarga Sixty One: On return to Kishkindha vaanara veeras plundred Madhuvana of fresh sweet fruits and destroyed it. The incharge Vanara Dadhimukha - Sugriva's uncle - was beaten in return

Sargas Sixty Two and Three: Dadhimukha and staff ran away to Sugriva for protection; he wondered if south bound Vanara Sena with Angada and Hanuman was returning with success'!

Sarga Sixty Four: On Sugriva's instruction, dakshina sena reached reporting successand of Devi Sita's safety.

Sarga Sixty Five: Viranjaneya details the actual status of Devi Sita's physical and psychological condition to Shri Rama in the presence of Lakshmana Sugrivas

Sarga Sixty Six:Reacting to Hanumam's handing over Devi Sita's 'choodaamani' Rama got worked up with his sweet memories, showing anxiety to hear what was her message to him.

Sargas Sixty Seven and Sixty Eight: Hanuman detailed her actual status and parting appeal still concerned of urgent action to save her very life!

ESSENCE OF VALMIKI SUNDARA RAMAYAMA

Introduction:

Brahmarshi Narada taught Brahmana Vidyaarthi Pracheta the 'two golden principles of not preaching what he himself would not practise and take to the name and thought of Rama till his death'. The boy learnt the Mantra 'Mara' or to Kill- kill 'ahamkara', 'shadvarga shatrus' of excessive desires, anger, selfishness and avarice, infatuation, ego and jealousy. Constant repetition of 'Mara' turned as 'Rama' gradually developed 'valmikaas' or anthills till his 'atma saakshaatkaara' or Self Realisation and eventually came to be reputed as Valmiki Maharshi. Once when he was bathing in the clear waters of Ganges he sighted two doves while mating but were shot to death by a hunter and the Maharshi cried maa nishaada pratishthaa tyamagamah shasshyatih samaah, yat krouncha mithunaa -dekam ayadheeh: kaama mohitam/ Nishaada! There could never be rest for long years till eternity, for you killed the mating birds unsuspectingly! This is the 'prerepana' or the inspiration of the illustrious scripting of Valmiki Ramayana! Maharshi Valmiki asked Brahmarshi Narada: Konyasmin saampratam loke gunavaan kascha veeryavaan, dharmaginascha kritaginascha veeryavaan,dharmaginascha kritaginascha Satyavaakyo dhridhavtatah' as to who indeed was the Guna- Veerya-Dharmagina- Kritagina- Satya Vaadi- Dhridha Sankalpa or of the superior traited- brave- virtuous-ever grateful - truthful and decisive on Earth during the Treta Yuga! Ramayana is relevant now as much as in the past -present and for ever as narrated in Six Khandas or sugar cane stems viz. Baala Khanda-Ayodhya Khanda- Aranya Khanda-Kishkinda Khanda-Sundara Khanda-Yuddha Khanda. Baala Khanda comprises seventy seven Sargas- Ayodhya Khanda one hundred nineteen Sargas-Aranya Khanda has seventy three Sargas-Kishkindha Khanda has sixty seven Sargas-Sundara Khanda comprises of sixty eight Sargas-Yuddha Khanda has one twenty eight Sargas. Addtionally Uttara Khanda has one hundred eleven Sargas. The current presentation is relevant to Sundara Khanda- the Fifth Piece of the Sugar Cane.

Restrospective:

Baala Khanda

The overview of Ramayana by Maharshi in his trance- Valmiki Ramayana of 24000 stanzas was sung by Lava- Kusha kumars of 'Shri Rama -Devi Sita' at a Conference of Muni Mandali before Shri Rama-From the Vaivaswa Manyantara to the Ikshvaku Vamsha at Ayodhya till King Dasharatha to Shri Rama-King Dashararatha-Vasishtha- Ministers plan to perform Ashvamedha Yagna and despatch Sumantra the Charioteer request to request Maharshi Rishyashringa- Historic Arrival of Rishyashringa heralding the season to rains- There after Vasishthas gave to the King 'yagina diksha'- removed evil influences - made arrangements of the yagina like architecture, construction and maintenance; groups of jyotishadi vedangas; workforce; nata- naatya -nartaka groups, cooking, culinary, construction of colonies, conference Halls etc. Ashvamedha Yagna executed gloriously- Putra Kaamekshi Yagina- Celestials preparing for arrival of Maha Purusha-Devas and Indra approached Vishnu to desrtoy Ravasnasura as Vishnu said only in human form Rama, Dasharatha's son could to so. At the Yagina, a Maha Purusha emerged from the flames and handed over a 'payasa patra' to Dasharatha to distribute to his three queens as instructed. As Rama-Lakshmana-Bharata-Shatrugnas were born thus, Indra and Devas manifested 'Vaanaraas' including Hanuman with Ashta Siddhis. Dasharatha distributes 'payasa' to queens Koushalya-Sumitra- Kaikeyi -Samskararas to Ramaadi Kumaras; Arrival of Brahmarshi Vishvamitra at Ayodhya to King Dasharatha. Vasishtha assured Dasharatha about Shri Rama's safety in safeguarding the Vishvamitra Yagina as the satisfied King allowed Rama Lakshmanas and teach Bala-Atibala. The trio reached Angamuni Ashram-Sarayu-Ganga confluence at Malada- Kurusha Villages where Indra hi d-the reason was that Indra killed brahmana Vritraasura.-They enter 'Tataka Vana'-Rama Lakshmanas

encounter Tataka and Vishmamitra prevails on stree hatya-Vishvamitra teaches most of archery mantras to Rama Lakshmanas-Vishvamitra takes Rama brothers to the 'Vamana Ashrama' -Yagjnas spoilt in other ashramas by Maricha Subahus punished by Rama-'Ashramavashis' conveyed about Janaka's Yagina and Shiva Dhanush- Vishvamitra seeks take heros to Siddhashrama by difficult terrain and explains about adjacent Kusha Desha, King Kushanabha, Apsara daughters and Vayu Deva-By boat from Shonabhadra to Ganges, Vishvamitra explains about flows of Ganges - birth of Skanda- King Sagara's tapasya for sons- queen Sumati begets 60,000 strong sons while Keshini just only Asamanjasa. Sagara planned Ashvamesha yagna, Indra stole the Sacrificial horse- Sumati's strong sons searched bhuloka-and patalas with pomp and noise-Kapila Muni curses the sons in patala to become stones-Asamanjasa goes in search and conveys the result to Sagara who dies- King Asamanjasa gaveup hopes and so does his son Amshuman and the latter's son Dilip. But Bhagiradha takes up the thread and prays to Ganga from skies at Gokarna Tirtha. Bhagiratha standing by foot fingers, invoked Maha Deva-Crossing Ganga, Rama approaching Vaishali asked about Deva Danavas-Having failed to secure Amrit, Diti- daitya motherseeks to destroy Indra- Diti fell asleep unsconcsiously, Indra entered her Garbha with his 'Vajraayudha', saw the fully grown up boy inside ,cajoled him saying 'don't cry, don't cry' and sliced the child into seven parts and further to forty nine sub-parts-Vishvamitra stated that they were at that very place where above instances had occured when there was an Ikshvaaku Kings Kakutstha- Sumati and then proceed to Mithila the kingdom of Janaka Raja! Sumati showed the way to Gautama Ashram en route Mithila.-Entering King Janaka's Yagnyashaala, Vishvamitra introduces Rama Lalshmanas and their acts of glory so far to King Janaka and his Purohita 'Shataananda'-Having congratulated Rama Lakshmanas, Shatananda makes a detialed coverage on the lifestory of Vishvamitra who as a Kshatriya King through tapsyas became a Brahmarshi!King Vishvamitra sighted Shabali Kamadhenu and demands it but was refused; in a battle Shabala smashed thee army but the latter took to severe tapasya. Brahma blesses Vishvavmitra be the status of Maharshi-Trishanku desires to reach swarga being mortal and Vishvamitra creates a mid- sky swarga with his tapo bala; -Ambarisha performs Yagjna at Pushkara but as sacrifice animal was stolen, a 'nara pashu boy' was arranged - Vishvamitra took pity but to no avail; got entangled instead by co-Munis.-Vishvamitra disturbed by 'Menaka' at Pushkara, then shifted to heights of himalayas when 'Rambha' disturbed too-Ultimatelyeven as Indra ever stole his food, Maharshi stopped his breathing but kept on his tapsya on Brahma, and the latter conferred the title of 'Brahmarshi'! Vishmamitra conveys Rama's desire to show Shiva Dhanush and Janaka gives the background of the Dhanush; King Nimi was gifted Shiva Dhanush at his son Devarata's wedding; Devi Sita as 'Ayonija' as Janaka tills bhuyagina.-Rama lifted up the Shiva Dhanush as if it were a toy, straightened it with great ease, held the middle part, and as though of a child play broke into two pieces. That breaking resulted in earthshaking like reverberations. King Janaka said: Once wedded to Shri Rama, my daughter ought to be proud to his life partner and bring in glory to Janaka vamsha! Brahmarshi said: tathaastu!- King Janaka sent a messenger to King Dasharatha to state: Shri Rama in the midst of all of us had managed the control and breaking of the age old Shiva Dhanush and as per my repeated announcements would like to propose my daughter Devi Sita to Shri Rama in a wedding ceremony and therefore request you to attend the same along with your queens and the entire retenue. Besides Rama and Devi Sita, may we also propose the wedding of Lakshmana with my younger daughter Urmila too- Dasharadha was pleased and addressed Vasishtha and Ministers to leave next morning -Accompanied by Gurus, wives and intimate and other relatives and friends, King Dasharatha was happy and blissful and instructed Sumantra to let the royal treasurer carry surplus funds of cash, jewellery, nine gems ahead and for their safety there ought to be fool proof defence arrange -ments. A four day procession with needed halts on way moved on with

plentiful food and drinks. On their arrival at the outskirts of the Kingdom, King Janaka made elaborate reception with music, song, dance and ecstatic welcome showers of flowers-In an open Janaka Sabha, Vasishtha narrated the glory of Ikshvaku Vamsha: Brahma Deva the Swayambhu manifested Marichi, from the latter was born Kashyapa whose son was Vivisyaan as the latter gave birth to Vaivasyata Manu. Manu was the foremost Prajapati and from Manu was born Ikshvaku the first King of Ayodhya. Then were highlighted: Pruthu-Mandhata-Sagara- Bhagiratha- Ambareesha-Nahusha-Yayati-Naabhaga- Ajaand Dasharatha- King Janaka explained about his vamsha from renowned King Nimi, whose son named Mithibeing the ever first Janaka as the 'vamsha' known as of Janakas. Then he introduced Kushadhvaja his younger brother desirous of getting his two daughters to Bharata and Shatrughna and declared Mandaveeka and Shutakeerti as their respective wives. respectively.- Public Declarations were made in the presence of Kings, Maharshis, and the public and hectic preparations were made; The vivahika vedika was got ready befitting the status and magnificence of two great Kings. Then Janaka welcomed the brides and bridegrooms.-- Afer the festivities concluded, guests were shovered with precious gifts, the groom's party moved back on the return journey but a terrible sand storm was faced. Parashu Rama arrived shouting 'Rama Rama' with terrible anger as the Shiva Dhanush was broken. Dasharatha tried to pacify but with anger, handed over Vishnu Dhanush and challenging Rama to break it if at all possible. An angry Rama not only lifted the dhanush as though Vishnu did against Madhukaitabha daityas but stated that with that very dhanush he could as well demolish Parashu Rama too! An utterly humiliated Parashu Rama was then instructed to return to Mahendra Mountain for ever!- As the rerurn procession finally reached the city of Ayodhya, it was ready with dhwaja-patakas, welcome sounds of drums and music, dances and decoratons. Dasharatha along with his sons and new daughters-in-law along with the Queens made an auspicious entry. Later, Raja Kumaras shared royal responsibilities. Rama and Sita became famed as Vishnu and Lakshmi.

Ayodhya Khanda

Considering Shri Rama's eligibility for Ayodhya's Yuvarajatva, King Dasharatha convenes a durbar meeting -King Dashatatha secures public approval for Rama's Yuvarajatva-Dasharatha discusses the details of Rama's Rajyabhisheka with Vasishtha and asks Rama to attend the Rajya sabha- Rama seeks his mother Devi Koushlya's blessings and endears Lakshmana-Dasharatha and Vasishtha ask Rama and Sita to observe fasting before the celebrations of Yuvarajatva- Ayodhya public's joy and pre-celebrations-Villianous Manthara gets upset on Rama's Yuvarajatva and reaches Kaikeyi and provokes and poisons Kaikeyi's mindset suggesting Rama's Vana Vaasa and Bharata's elevation as Yuvaraaja- Fully poisoned by Mandhara, Kaikeyi enters 'Kopa griha'- the symbolic AngerChamber-King Dasharatha seeks to pacify her beloved queen Kaikeyi-Kaikeyi seeks to remind of Dasharatha's promise of granting her of two boons at a battle as she saved him, demands Rama's 'vana vaasa'/ Bharata's Rajyabhisheka-Dasharatha's remorse at Kaikeyi's undue demands even having admitted the boons and pleads with Kaikeyi not to insist but in vain - Dasharatha's intense cryings and persistent pleadings with Kaikeyi but she argued in the name of dharma citing the tradition of truthfulness of Ikshvaku ancestors- Kaikeyi's stubbuornness to relent - Vashishta Maharshis intervetion fails and Charioteer Sumanra asked for Rama's arrival at the King's Palace-Sumanta arrives at Rama's palace while Rama and Lakshmana on the way to King's Palace enjoying public's joy at Rama's elevation-Excellent preparations in the city for the celebrations by the following day- Rama witnessing heart broken Dasharatha and Kaikeyi's rude intervention demanding Rama's Vana Vaasa for fourteen years in prscirbed dress code and of Bharat's Kingship-Rama agrees to her terms and proceeds to Kouashalya to break the news - Koushalya's sudden and of tragic news leads

to agony and standstill senselessness as Rama seeks to pacify-Lakshmana gets agitated at the turn of the events and so did Kousalya but Rama assuages their badly hurt as Rama explains that 'pitru vaakya paripaalana' ought to be his life's motto and dharma. Rama asked Lakshmana to remove all the preparatory materials like the vessels etc. meant for his Rajyabhisheka since that would be unwanted then-Reacting to remove the material for Rajyabhishaka, Lakshmana argued whether the decicision was correct, but Rama once again reiterated as irrevocable - Devi Kousalya, reacting sharply about Rama's decisiveness to undergo vana vaasa resolves to follow him, and Rama invoked the argument of her preserving Pativratya and should not desert her husband-With great difficulty, Rama finally convinces Kousalya to let him leave for 'vana vaasa'and she relented finally.- As Rama left Kousalya with mutual anguish, the Public too was unaware of the tragic developent, much less Devi Sita who was horrified-Devi pleads her accompanying Rama for the forest life -Rama dissuades Sita to accompany him for Vana Vaasa-Sita invokes her 'Paativratya Dharma' and insists- Devi Sita sobs heavily and Rama had to finally concedes-Lakshmana too insists on accompanying Rama- latter agrees; Rama desires of offering charities- Sita Rama's charity to Vasishtha Kumara Sujyagjna and wife, brahmanas, brahmacharis, servants- Sita Rama Lakshmanas visit Kaikeyis's palace to meet Dasharatha as Nagara vaasis weep away -Sita Rama Lakshmanas approach Dasharatha with queens before vana vaasa; the latter swoons and recovers and embraces them and swoons again-Sumantra criticizes Kaikeyi as the latter justifies-Dasharatha instructs treasure to be sent along with Sumatra for initial phase of vana vaasa; Rama Lakshmans dressed up in valkals as Vishtha rejects Sita wearing that dress- Dasharatha too rejects Sita wearing Valkava vastras even as Kaikeyi was unhappy, but Rama approves--Dasaratha breaks into cryings, Sunantra arrives with the chariot, Sita receives 'pati seva upadesha' from Kousalya, Rama Sita Lakshmanas bid farewell to all - Sita Rama Lakshmanas perform pradakshinas to Dasharathaand the mothers, Sita Rama Lakshmanas alight the chariot and the crowds get terribly agitated-As the unruly crowd was interrupting the Chariot several times, the citizens were crying away aloud shatterring the skies, especially the women folk-King Dasharatha cries and swoons for Rama, distances from Kaikeyi's palace and shifts to Kousalya's-Maha Rani Kousalya's agony asDevi Sumitra assuages Kousalya's tormented psyche-Rama appeals to the Ayodhya public not to hurt Dasaratha or Bharata- the elders of the public insist on following Rama upto Tamasa river banks- Rama Sita Lakshmana's over night stay at Tamasa banks- they leave ealiest unnoticed- public felt bad-Ayodhya elders and women got disturbed inability to see off Rama to the deeper forests crossing Tamasa- Ayodhya woman folk cry away Rama Sita Lakshmanas for further 'vana vaasa'- Public of Kosala Janapada throng at the Chariot carrying Ramas whoalso cross Veda shruti-Gomati-Skandika rivers- Ramas arrive at Shringavera pura on the banks of Ganga- stay overnight and Nishada Raja Guha welcomes them-Lakshmana - Guha feel and exchange expressions of sadness-Guha navigates Sita Rama Lakshmanas across Ganga- Rama bids farewell to the reluctant Sumamtra- Sita's intense prayers to the Sacred Ganga- after crossing Ganga reach Vatsa desha for night halt- As Rama asks Lakshmana to return back to Ayodhya at least now but Lakshmana protests-Ramas reach Bharadvaaja ashram and the Maharshi advises them to settle at Chitrakoota mountain - while they cross Yamuna from Prayaga- Sita prays to Yamuna- their overnight stay at otherside of Yamuna-Ramas reach Chitrakoota-Maharshi Valmiki at ashram- Maharshi teaches Lakshmana Vaastu Shastra- Sumantra reaches Ayodhya- 'aarta naadaas' by public and Dasharatha and queens-Sumantra conveys Shri Rama- Lakshmanas's messages to the parents-Condition of the Ayodhya public and at the state of Rama's distresses Dashatratha extremely- Anguish of Devi Kouasalya sought to be assuaged by Sumatra-Kousalya's crying protests against Dasharatha-Regretful Dasharatha with folded hands and prostrations seeks pardon from Kousalya-Dasaratha's confession to Kousalya about his

youthful blunder of killing a Muni Kumara - Having revealed details of the Muni hatya, the helpless cryings of his blind parents - Vriddha Muni's curse that Dasaradha would die in son's absence-Dasharatha -Pursuant to Dasharatha's death, his queeens cried out, deathwise-praises and music followed-Oueens, Ministers and staff- and public vision the body as retained in oil vessels-Maharshis assemble with Purohita Vasishtha to decide on the successor Kingship-Vashishtha despaches messengers to Kaikeya kingdom to bringBharata along with Shatrughna.- As messengers arrive at Bharata's place, the latter felt 'dussvapnas' early morning-Ayodhya's messengers arrive at Bharat's maternal uncle's palace, bring gifts and message to return-Bharata Shatrughnas arrive at Ayodhya and found the city as silent and listless!- Bharata reaches Kaikevi palace and hears the news of his father's demise and Rama Sita Lakshmana 'vana vaasa' and Bharata's rajyaabhisheka!- The rattled up Bharata protests violently and detests- Kaikeyi's evil mindedness-Bharata's open protests against Kaikeyi-Bharata's 'shapatha' / swearing in the presence of Kousalya-Raja Dasharatha's 'antyeshthi' / 'dahana samskaara'-Bharatha performs Dashartha's 'shraaddha karma' and 'maha daanaas' - collection of ashes and 'nimajjana' - 'daaha samskaara'-Shatrugna attacks the villainess Kubja, the servant maid of Kaikeyi, to senselessness and spares her death! Ministers propose Bharata's 'raivabhisheka'- but the latter proposes only temporary authority as Shri Rama ought to be the real King-Bharata initiates the constuction of comfortable 'Raja Marga' from Rivers Sarayu to banks of Ganga-As 'mangala vaadyas' were heard on a morning, Bharata felt uneasy and asked Vasishtha to come to Rajya sabha with Ministers and officials- Bharata disagrees with Vasishtha that kingship was Rama'sbirth right and only a passing solution now-Bharata's vana yatra and night halt at Shringaverapura -Nishaada Raja hosts Bharata's overnight stay before crossing Ganga the next day- Bharata and Nishada Raja exchange viwes of Rama's magnanimity-Nishada Raja extols about the nobility and devotion to Rama of Lakshmana-On hearing details of Rama Sita Lakshmanas, Bharata swooneddown, Shatrugna and the mothers cried away, and persisted on the details of the threesome regarding their food and sleeping patterns-Guha showed the bed of 'kusha grass' by which Sita Ramas slept on that night and the 'valkala vastras' left behind-Bharata accompanied by sena, mothers, Munis and public arrives at Bharadvaaja ashram-Bharata visits Bharadwaja 'ashram'- The Maharshi bestows Bharata and entire entourage including vast army a heavenly hospitality-Bharata introduces his three mothers and Bharadvaja blesses them and indicates the way to Chitrakoota- Bharata's Chitrakoota yatra described-Shri Rama shows the beauty and grandeur of Chitrakoota to Sita-Shri Rama displays the exquisiteness of River Mandakini to Sita-As the wild beasts and birds running astray of Chitrakoota, Lakshmana went up atop a shaala tree as an army was nearing and Lakshmana was angered-As Lakshmana saw Bharata approaching, he got angrybut Rama cooled him down-Bharata and advance party located Rama's 'kuteera' and visited the details inside -Bharata Shatrughnas locate Rama, prostrate and crying- Shri Rama having enquired Bharata's welfare gave elaborate lessons of Kshatra Dharmas on his own- Rama asks Bharata the reason of his arrival as Bharata requests him to return and accept Kingship; but Rama refuses-Bharata requests Rama to reconsider Kingship and informs King Dasharath's sad demise-Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas cry away at father's death-offerings of tarpana and pinda daana - With Vasishtha ahead the three Devis arrive, all the sons prostrate the mothers and Vasishtha too-Bharata broaches about Rama's return & kingship -Bharata again pesters Rama to assume kingship-Shri Rama instructs Bharata to return to Ayodhya at once-Muni Jaabali supports Bharata and his argument that sounded spread of 'nastikata'-Rama asserts that karma and rebirth are the corner stones of 'Astikata'-Vasishtha traces the geneology of IkshvakuVamsha and asks to uphold its fame and assume Kinghip as the eldest son of Dasharatha-Shri Rama reiterates that 'Pitru Agina' was paramount yet doubled edged that he should undergo vana vaasa and Bharata should rule for that period! -As Bharata was not ready yet to return to Ayodhya, Shri Rama grants his 'charana paadukaas' and finally bid farewell to Bharata and the entourage-Bharata and the entourage reach back toMaharshi Bharadwaja's ashram and return to Ayodhya-On return to Ayodhyam Bharata realises the sad state of the city of Ayodhdya-Bharata instals Shri Rama 'Paadukaas' at Nandigrama and administers Ayodhya from there-All the Rishis of Chitra koota commenced leaving the place due to problems of Rakshasas-Sita Rama Lakshmanas too decided to leave Chitrakoota and proceeded to Maharashi Ashram of Atri and Maha Pativrata Anasuya-Devis Anasuya and Sita exchange views- Anasuya gives gifts to Sita- Sita describes her 'swayamvara'-Thus Devi Sita having accepted the gifts from Devi Anasuya reaches Shri Rama for overnight stay at Atri Maharshi Ashram for further journey.

Aranya Khanda:

Shri Rama - Devi Sita-Lakshmanas felicitated in 'Muni ashramas' - As Rama-Sita -Lashmanas proceeded into the thick forest, they encounterd Rakshasa Viraath- Exchange of hot words by Rama Lakshmanas with Rakshasa Viraatha-Rama Lakshmanas kill Rakshasa Viraatha--Shri Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas visit Sharabhanga Muni's ashrama and after 'atithya' the Muni departs for Brahma Loka- Vaanaprastha Munis approach Shri Rama for safety from Rakshasaas and Rama Lakshmanas assure and pacify them Shri Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas reach the ashram of Muni Suteekshna who offers 'atithya' overnight- Next early morning Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas exit Suteekshna ashram-Gatheringa of innocent commoners and Munis seek protection from frequent- attacks by Rakshasaas and Devi Sita enumerates the tenets of dharma-Rama Lakshmanas assure and make 'pratiginas' of Kshatriya kula duty to safeguard the tenets of Dharma-Rama Sita Lakshmanas visit Panchapsara Tirtha and Maandikarana ashrama and after visiting other Muni Ashramas too, visit the ashram of the brother of Agastya Maharshi who lauds the glory of Agastya- Rama Lakshmanas visit Agastya Maharshi and after welcoming them, Agastya gifts 'diyyaastras'-Maharshi Agastya complements Devi Sita as a 'patiyrata' and directs-ama Lakshmanas to construct Panchavati Ashram-On the way to Panchavati, Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas meet the Great Grudhra Raja Jatayu who vividly explains the family background of Jatayu-The compact and vastu based 'Panchavati Parnashaala' of Rama-Sita- Lakshmanas reside comfortably-Happy living by Rama Sita Lakshmanas at Panchavati through Hemanta Ritu and Godavari Snaanaas-Rakshasi Shurpanakha arrives at Panchavati, introduces, proposes to Rama to wed as his wife-Shurpanakha compromises to wed Lakshmana as he was single there but the latter cuts off her ears and nose-Khara incensed the treatment to sister and despatches fourteen rakshasaas to kill Rama Lakshmanas-Shri Rama devastates fourteen followers of Khara- Shurpanakha reaches brother Khara, conveys Rama's killing fourteen rakshasas, provokes Khara to seek revenge-Khara Dushana Rakshasaas along with fourteen thoushand sena attack Panchavati of Ramas-Khara then noticed dusshakunas like donkey brayings and squeaks of vultures from the sky, but having ignored these, Khara reaches Shri Rama 'ashrama' -As the dusshakunas loomed large, Rama hopes for the doom of Rakshasaas and victory for himself- as a precaution, he asked Lakshmana to hide Devi Sita in a cave and got readied for the battle-Rakshasaas attack Sri Rama, deva gandharva rishis apprehensive, but the invinvible Shri Rama devastates thousands of rakshasaas single handed-Senapati Dushana and thousands of rakshasaas devastated by singular Shri Rama-Trishira, Khara Maha Rakshas's Senapati exterminated-Fierce battle between Shri Rama and Khara Rakshasa by the usage of their expertise in dhanur vidya-Exchange of heated arguments between Shri Rama and Khara Rakshas whose mace attack defended by Rama -Shri Rama the action hero hits Khara Rakshasa to death and affirms victory celebrated by Celestials and Rishis- Akampana Rakshasa reaches Ravanasura to Lanka and poisons the latter's mind hatch a vicious plot to lure Devi Sita by a deer impersonted by MareechaShurepanakha hurt physically with mutilated ears and nose arrives grievously at Maha Ravana Sabha:-Highly alarmed and frustrated Shurpanakha incites and ignites her brother Ravanasura-Ravana was inquisitive from Shupanakha about details of Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas as the latter asks Sita to be abducted and wedded to Sita Rayanasura once again approaches Mareecha once again to seek the latter's help-Ravanaasura once again seeks the help of Mareecha to kidnap Devi Sita-'The self shaken up Mareecha appeals to Ravana to very kindly withdraw the plan in view of Rama's extraordinary mental acumen and physical energy-Maareecha explains his erstwhile experience of Vayavyastra and requests Ravana to pardon him-Maarecha seeks to further convince Ravanaasura as Mareecha enterered having assumed the form of a Maya Harina or a feigned deer-Rayanasura resents Mareecha's argumentative pattern and commands Mareecha to get involved in the mission of 'Sitaapaharana' while detailing the plan of abduction-Maareecha issues ultimate warning to the doom of Rayana and disaster of Lanka Kingdom-Rakshasa Maareecha forced by Rayanaasura to assume the deer form of glitter and attract Sita's attention-Even as Lakshmana doubted about the Maya Mriga, Sita was bent to secure it alive or dead and Rama had to yield to her intense wish proceeded with the chase, while entrusting responsibility to Lakshmana. chase.-Shri Rama kills Mareecha, no doubt, but the latter shouts for help in Rama's tone causing gitters to Sita-As expected, Lakshmana was taken aback by Sita's insinuations against him who was pressurised to reach Shri Rama-Ravanaasura approaches Devi Sita under Sadhu's garb, familiarises and mesmorises her-Devi Sita introduces herself as the daughter of King Janaka and the husband of the valiant Shri Rama and the cause of their arrival; Ravana proposes to Devi Sita as a co-wife and the latter reacts haughtily-Ravanasura explains his own background and valor and Devi Sita ignores and discounts-Ravanasura forcibly abducts Devi Sita who cries away helplessly but Maha Jataayu grudhra tries to intervene and seeks to help-Jataayu warns Ravanasura to withdraw from the evil act of 'Sitaapaharana'and otherwise be ready for encounter-Fierce battle between Jataayu and Ravanasura but Ravana kills Jatayu-Thus Ravanasura finally concludes 'Sitaapaharana' as Devi Sita was kept under vigilant custody-Rattled and shocked Devi Sita shouts being highy critical of Rayana and his heinous actions- As Devi Sita sought to drop down her jewellery and dress to notify Rama Lakshmanas, Ravana kept vigil by five monkeys, and at Lanka in antahpura by eight rakshasis -Ravanasura takes Devi Sita to his antahpura and seeks to pressurise her to become his queen-Having suffered Ravana's entreaties, Sita intensified her thoughts on Shri Rama and praised him while angry Ravana instructed rakshasis to take Sita away to Ashoka Vatika and frieghten her to surrender-Shri Rama having killed Maareecha returns while noticing bad omens gets concerned about Devi Sita- On a run back to the Ashram, Rama Lakshmanas were subject to innumerable kinds of doubts and reaching there were not able to see Devi Sita and got stunned and terrified- Rama Lakshmans recalled the events before the latter left for Rama at the false shouts of the dying Maareesha and Rama was truly upset by Lakshmana's grave indescretion-Shri Rama's deep distress at Devi Sita's disappearance- desperate search for her even addressing animals and vegetation around the ashram in frustration-Shri Rama and Lakshmanas got intensely frustrated with their extensive search for Devi Sita-Rama's anguish - his sustained efforts with Lakshmna- following Maya Mriga's southern direction- recognising fallen Sitas's dried up flowers and ornamentsand signs of a recently fought battle!-Lakshmana seeks to cool down the unbelievable rage and anger and recounts the fundamenatal features of self restraint while getting ready to display his outstanding bravery in human like and Gods like battle!-Rama Lakshmanas witnessed the grievously hurt Maha Grudhra Jataayu who fought for Devi Sita being kidnapped Mahaasura Ravana the Lankeshwara-Shri Rama performs the 'dahana samskaara' of Jatayu -Nasty encounter with Athomukha and blind Rakshasi Kabandha who caught Rama Lakshmanas by its long and surrounding arms within a huge embrace

seeking to eat their flesh-By the enormous force of their sheer grit and decisiveness and of mutual consultations, Rama Lakshmanas severed both the mighty shoulders of Kabandha-Tormented by Sthula Rishi, Karbandha got 'vikrita rupa' but he performed tapsya to Brahma for deerghaayu, attacked Indra and vajraayudha's hit raised his stomach over body, now relieved by Rama Lakshmanas - As Kabandha Rakshas's mortal remains secured 'daah samskara' by Rama Lakshmanas, his celestial form reveals details of Ravana vs Sita and advises Rama's friendship with the exiled Vaanara King Sugriva -Kabandha in his celestial form showed the way to Rishyamooka Parvata and Pampa Sarovara, as also of Matanga Muni Ashrama-Rama Lakshmanas proceed towards Matanga Vana and meet Tapasvini Shabari awaiting Shri Rama Lakshmanas all along her life with indefinable devotion.-Having witnessed the glorious departure of Maha Yogini to Bliss, Rama Lakshmanas proceeded along with Pampasarovara in their 'Sitaanveshana'towards Gandhamanana Mountain and meet Sugriva. Kishkindha:On reaching Pampa Sarovara Rama was excited at its natural grandeur especially Sita's absence, Lakashmana solaces- as they approached Rishyamooka, Vanaras and Sugriva. As Sugriva and follower vaanaraas were still wondering, Hanuman felt convinced and confident and directed Shri Rama Lakshmanas to appoach their head Sugriva the fugitive King of Vaanaras. Hanuman reached Rama Lakshmanas in a Tapasvi form, complemented Rama Lakshmanaas by their appearance as Hanuman was pleased; Lakshmana briefed Hanuman about their purpose of 'Sitaanveshana' and seeking Sugriva's close friendship and active assistanace- Hanuman's assurance for unswerving and dutiful cooperation. Firm establishment of Agni Saakshi Friendship of Shri Rama and Sugriva and Shri Rama vows to kill Vaali to pave the way to Sugriva for unopposed Kingship of Vaanara Rajya . As Sugriva showed golden ornaments secured by his followers as Devi Sita threw away down from Ravana's donkey's chariot vimana, Rama readily recognised, cried away and got intensed up with anguish. As Shri Rama expressed his anguish and anger too, Sugriva seeks to assuage Rama's inner feelings and assures 'karya siddhi' finally; reciprocatively Rama assures Sugriva to regain his kingdom and wife too! Rama assures help in killing Vaali and enquires of Sugriva about the details of their mutual enmity. Sugriva then provides an account of the root causes of his antagonism with his elder brother. As Sugriva recounted as to how Vaali displayed his vengeance against him, Sugriva describes Vaali's invincibility, his extermination of Daitya Dundhubhi, throwing off his dead body off to Matanaga Muni, curse of barring entry of Rishyamooka-Rama's test of throwing off Dundubhi's skeleton. Shri Rama's feat of destroying Seven Taala Trees in a row- Sugriva's challenge to Vaali but gets beaten as Sugriva runs to Rishyamooka- Sugriva vilaapa-Rama explains the problem of Vaali Sugriva identity. Much unlike Sugriva got thrashed by Vaali last time, the party of Rama-Sugriva party proceeded again, enjoyed Prakriti Soundarya back to Kishkindha and secures blessings from Sapta Janaashrama Muni. Fully backed by Shri Rama's confident assurances of victory, Sugriva challenged Vaali for a repeat encounter of 'dwandva yuddha' amid thunderous shoutings. Enraged by the repetitive challenges echoing the 'Rani Vaasa', Vaali got ready for the battle but Tara Devi entreated Vaali for a truce of mutual peace, friendship with Rama and 'yuva rajatva' to Sugriva. Ignoring away Devi Tara's earnest appeals for amity with Sugrivas-Ramas, haughty Vaali resorts to battle with Sugriva, gets grievously hurt by Rama baana and succumbs to earth. Falling before death, Vaali heavily criticizes Rama for his stealthiness, undeserved glory, falsity, and sheer selfishness colliding with Sugriva only to recover Devi Sita, which he too could have with bravery. Shri Rama, having let Vaali steam off his anguish from his deadly fall, replies point by point and fully justifying action in releasing his frightful arrow, yet with sympathy. Vaali calls Devi Tara and Angada Kumara near to his death bed cryingly and Devi Tara's 'vilaapa'. Hanuman seeks to assuage Devi Tara's extreme distress while the latter declared her intention of 'Sati Saha Gamana'. Vaali terminates his life after

conveying his death bed wishes about Sugriva and Angada. With Tara's the unbearable distress, Vaali laid down his life. Realising anguish of Tara Devi, Sugriva reacts severely and requests Shri Rama to allow him to die while Tara too requests so- Rama seeks to assuage them. Rama Lakshmanas pacify Sugriva, Tara, and Angada- Vaali's 'dahana samskara/ jalaanjali' by Angada. Hanuman requests Rama Lakshmanas to witness Rajyaabhishakas of Sugriya and Angada, Rama assents and blesses but not by entering Kishkindha. Rama Lakshmana's diologues at their of Prasravana Giri Cave. Shri Rama describes to Lakshmana about the features of Varsha Ritu. Hanuman prevails on Sugriva to initiate action for Sitaanveshana even before Rama's reminder and instruct Neela Vaanara to assemble the Vanara soldiers to group together. Sharad Ritu Varnana- Shri Rama instructs Lakshmana to reach King Sugriva. Lashmana proceeds to Sugriva's Rajya Bhavana at Kishkindha with anger yetrestrained by Rama's convincing, meets Aangada who in turn seeks Sugriva to some how pacify. Hanuman sincerely advises Sugriva to withstand Lakshmana's anger besides consolidate action towards 'Sitaanveshana'. Even admiring Kishkindha's beauty, Lakshmana seeks to enter Sugriva's Inner Chamber by resounding his dhanush and the frightened Sugriva advises Tara's help to cool him down convicinigly even before his appearance. Sugriva faces the wrath of Lakshmana and Tara continues to soothen Lakshmana by her tactical talks. Thus Tara managed the anger of Lakshmana convincingly and praised of Rama and his stature vis-à-vis that of Sugriva- Sugriva expresses of Rama's magnificence and his mere supplementary assistance. Sugriva instructs consolidating Vanara Sena and proceeds to Kishkindha and inform compliance to him. Lakshmana returns to Rama as accompanied by Sugriva as he was despatched to ascertain as to why Sugriva did not action for Sitanveshana yet! As Shri Rama had sincerely thanked the efforts in mobilising an ocean like Vanara Sena to fight his battle against Ravanasura, the grateful Sugriva returns back for further action. Now that the full backing of Vanara Sena along with enthused dedication of 'Swami Karya', Rama instructed Sugriva to take off the efforts of 'Sitaanveshana' in the eastern direction. Sugriva as totally absorbed in the singular task of 'Sitanveshana' and having already despatched one force of Vanaraas to 'purva disha' now forwards another batch to 'dakshina disha'. Sugriva who despatched another strong contingent of Vanara Warriors to the southern direction, now commisions a batch to the Western Side along with Sushena explaining probable areas for 'Sitanveshana'. Sugriva explains the significance of the northern direction for Sitanveshana under the leadership of Shatabali of several 'vaanara veeraas'. As Sugriva despatches the Vanara Sena to the Southern direction, under the command of Yuva Raja Angada, Shri Rama gives his ring to Hanuman to possibly show to Sita Devi to recognise and trust him. While despatching the four directional Vaanara Sena, the text of Sugriva's encouraging remarks were as follows- King Sugriva explains to Shri Rama of his own escapades of 'Bhu Bhramana' and hence his vast knowledge and memories of destinations, parvatas, oceans, rives and the geographical detailings! Vaanara Senaas that Sugriva north-west-and eastern sectors for 'Sitanveshana' had returned organised to the disappointed with negative results; but from the southern sector were awaited still. Angada seeks to revive the fallen hopes of 'Sitanveshana' of the dakshina vaanara sena, but soon after the tired hungry sena sights a celestial tree-sarovara-and bhavana of a Tapasvini whom Hanuman contacts. As Hanuman enquires of the 'vriddha tapasvini', she displays her 'bhavan', asks about Vanara Sena and their purpose, invites them for bhojan, reveals her identity, and facilitates them towards the Sea shores. As the prescribed time limit for return to Sugriva was over, Angada and other Vaanara Veeras got ready for 'praana tyaga' but clever Hanuman adopted 'bheda -neeti' or of divided opinion saving them all!Angada- having asserted of Sugriva's dubious nature and selfishness while the task of 'Sitaanveshana' was due to Lakshmana's anger- thus gets readied for 'praayopavesha' along with his

fellow vaanaras. Gridhra Raja Sampaati arrives and frightens Vanaras initially but on hearingabout the noble deed of 'Sitaanveshana' makes friends - Sampaati then hears of Ravana's killing of Jatayu, his younger brother. Angada places the badly hurt body of Sampaati from the mountain top and describes the details of Jatayu as killed by Rayanaasura- Rama Sugriva friendship- Vaali's death- and his 'aamarana upavaasa'.Sampaati informs the Vanara Veeras as to how his wings were burnt, confirms Ravana-Sita's place details-and performs jalanjali to his brother Jatayu since known from Vanaras of his passing away. Sampaati conveys to the Vanara Sena Yoddhas of what his son Supaarshvya informed of Devi Sita and Ravana at Lanka. Sampaati's interacts with his preceptor 'Nishakara Rishi' and explains as to how the wings of both his and his brother Jatavu's wings were burnt in a competition with Surva in the latter's triloka parikrama! Nishakara Muni readily sympathises and wishes recovery to Sampata but instructs him to contribute in the context of Shri Rama Vijaya Karya all his life. Sampaati eventually recovers fresh wings and enthuses Vanara Veeras to proceed to the farther South and step forward to Lanka. With great excitement and drive, especially fired up by Sampaati, the vast vaanara sena pushed forward to the Sea bed; then Angada asked the select Yoddhhas to express their individual abilities to cross the Sea. As Angada asked select Vanara yoddhhas of their ability to crossand return, individual responses were heard- then Jambavan recommends Veera Hanuman for this impossible and daring act. Jambavan along with Angada approaches Anjaneya, recalls thebackground of the latter's birth and past glories, glorifying him up with extraordinary capabilities, while preparing him to cross the Maha Samudra. As Hanuman was enthused and readied to cross the Maha Sagara, he dashed forward to Mahendra Parvata and climbed it with ease.

Sarga One

<u>Veera Hanuman leaps off the Ocean towards Ravana's Lanka, gets welcomed on way by Mainaka, encounters Surasa and subdues, kills Simhika, and enjoys the aerial view of Lanka</u>

Tato rāvaṇanītāyāḥ sītāyāh śatrukarśanaḥ, iyeṣa padam anveṣṭum cāraṇācarite pathi/ atha vaidūryavarnesu śādvalesu mahābalah, dhīrah salilakalpesu vicacāra yathāsukham/ dvijān vitrāsayan dhīmān urasā pādapān haran, mṛgām's ca subahūn nighnan pravṛddha iva kesarī nīlalohitamāñjisthapadmavarnaih sitāsitaih, svabhāvavihitaiś citrair dhātubhih samalamkrtam/ kāmarūpibhir āvistam abhīksnam saparicchadaih, vaksakimnaragandharvair devakalpaiś ca pannagaih/ sa tasya girivaryasya tale nāgavarāyute, tiṣṭhan kapivaras tatra hrade nāga ivābabhau/ sa sūryāya mahendrāya pavanāya svayambhuve, bhūtebhyaś cāñjalim krtvā cakāra gamane matim/ añjalim prānmukhah kurvan pavanāyātmayonaye, tato hi vavrdhe gantum daksino daksinām diśam/ plavamgapravarair dṛṣṭaḥ plavane kṛtaniścayaḥ, vavṛdhe rāmavṛddhyartham samudra iva parvasu/ nispramāņa śarīraḥ samt lilanghayişur arnavam, bāhubhyām pīdayām āsa caranābhyām ca parvatam/ sa cacālācalāś cāru muhūrtam kapipīditah, tarūnām puspitāgrāṇām sarvam puspam aśātayat/ tena pādapamuktena puspaugheņa sugandhinā, sarvatah samvṛtah śailo babhau puspamayo yathā/ tena cottamavīryena pīdyamānah sa parvatah, salilam samprasusrāva madam matta iva dvipah/ pīdvamānas tu balinā mahendras tena parvatah, rītir nirvartavām āsa kāñcanāñjanarājatīh, mumoca ca śilāh śailo viśālāḥ samanaḥśilāḥ/ giriṇā pīḍyamānena pīḍyamānāni sarvaśaḥ, guhāviṣṭāni bhūtāni vinedur vikṛtaiḥ svaraih/

sa mahāsattvasamnādaḥ śailapīḍānimittajaḥ, pṛthivīm pūrayām āsa diśaś copavanāni ca/ śirobhiḥ pṛthubhiḥ sarpā vyaktasvastikalakṣaṇaiḥ, vamantaḥ pāvakam ghoram dadamśur daśanaiḥ śilāḥ/ tās tadā saviṣair daṣṭāḥ kupitais tair mahāśilāḥ, jajvaluḥ pāvakoddīptā vibhiduś ca sahasradhā/ yāni cauṣadhajālāni tasmiñ jātāni parvate, viṣaghnāny api nāgānām na śekuḥ śamitum viṣam/ bhidyate 'yam girir bhūtair iti matvā tapasvinaḥ, trastā vidyādharās tasmād utpetuḥ strīgaṇaiḥ saha/ pānabhūmigatam hitvā haimam āsanabhājanam, pātrāṇi ca mahārhāṇi karakāmś ca hiraṇmayān/ lehyān uccāvacān

bhaksyān māmsāni vividhāni ca, ārsabhāni ca carmāni khadgāms ca kanakatsarūn/ krtakanthagunāh kṣībā raktamālyānulepanāḥ, raktākṣāḥ puṣkarākṣāś ca gaganam pratipedire/hāranūpurakeyūra pārihārya dharāh striyaḥ, vismitāh sasmitās tasthur ākāśe ramaṇaiḥ saha/ darśayanto mahāvidyām vidyādharamaharṣayaḥ, sahitās tasthur ākāśe vīkṣām cakruś ca parvatam/ śuśruvuś ca tadā śabdam rsīnām bhāvitātmanām, cāranānām ca siddhānām sthitānām vimale 'mbare/ esa parvatasamkāso hanūmān mārutātmajah, titīrṣati mahāvegam samudram makarālayam/ rāmārtham vānarārtham ca cikīrşan karma duşkaram, samudrasya param pāram duşprāpam prāptum icchati/ dudhuve ca sa romāņi cakampe cācalopamah, nanāda ca mahānādam sumahān iva tovadah/ānupūrvvāc ca vrttam ca lāṅgūlam romabhiś citam, utpatisyan viciksepa paksirāja ivoragam/ tasya lāṅgūlam āviddham ativegasya pṛsthatah, dadṛśe garudeneva hriyamāno mahoragah/ bāhū saṁstambhayām āsa mahāparighasamnibhau, sasāda ca kapih katyām caranau samcukopa ca/ samhṛtya ca bhujau śrīmāms tathaiva ca śirodharām, tejah sattvam tathā vīryam āviveśa sa vīryavān/ mārgam ālokayan dūrād ūrdhvaprani -hitekşaṇah, rurodha hṛdaye prāṇān ākāśam avalokayan/ padbhyām dṛḍham avasthānam kṛtvā sa kapikuñjaraḥ, nikuñcya karṇau hanumān utpatiṣyan mahābalaḥ, vānarān vānaraśreṣṭha idam vacanam abravīt/ yathā rāghavanirmuktaḥ śaraḥ śvasanavikramaḥ, gacchet tadvad gamiṣyāmi lankām rāvaṇapālitām/ na hi drakṣyāmi yadi tām lankāyām janakātmajām, anenaiva hi vegena gamiṣyāmi surālayam/ yadi vā tridive sītām na drakṣyāmi krtaśramaḥ, baddhvā rākṣasarājānam ānayiṣyāmi rāvanam/ sarvathā kṛtakāryo 'ham esyāmi saha sītayā, ānayisyāmi vā laṅkām samutpātya sarāvanām/ evam uktvā tu hanumān vānarān vānarottamah, utpapātātha vegena vegavān avicārayan/ samutpatati tasmims tu vegāt te nagarohiṇaḥ, samhṛtya viṭapān sarvān samutpetuh samantatah/ sa mattakoyaştibhakān pādapān puṣpaśālinaḥ, udvahann ūruvegena jagāma vimale 'mbare/ ūruvegoddhatā vṛkṣā muhūrtam kapim anvayuh, prasthitam dīrgham adhvānam svabandhum iva bāndhavāh/ tam ūruvegonmathitāḥ sālāś cānye nagottamāḥ, anujagmur hanūmantam sainyā iva mahīpatim/ supuspitāgrair bahubhih pādapair anvitah kapih, hanumān parvatākāro babhūvādbhutadarśanah/ sāravanto 'tha ye yṛkṣā nyamajjamıl lavanāmbhasi, bhayād iya mahendrasya paryatā yarunālaye/ sa nānākusumaih kīrnah kapih sāṅkurakorakaih, śuśubhe meghasaṁkāśah khadyotair iva parvatah/ vimuktās tasya vegena muktvā puṣpāṇi te drumāḥ, avaśīryanta salile nivṛttāḥ suhṛdo yathā/ laghutvenopapannam tad vicitram sāgare 'patat, drumānām vividham puspam kapivāvusamīritam/ puspaughenānubaddhena nānāvarņena vānaraḥ, babhau megha ivodyan vai vidyudgaṇavibhūṣitaḥ/ tasya vegasamudbhūtaiḥ puṣpais toyam adṛśyata, tārābhir abhirāmābhir uditābhir ivāmbaram/ tasyāmbara gatau bāhū dadrśāte prasāritau, parvatāgrād viniskrāntau pañcāsyāv iva pannagau/ pibann iva babhau cāpi sormijālam mahārnavam, pipāsur iva cākāśam dadrśe sa mahākapih/ tasya vidyutprabhākāre vāyumārgānusārinah, nayane viprakāśete parvatasthāv ivānalau/ pinge pingāksamukhyasya brhatī parimandale, caksusī samprakasete candrasūryāv iva sthitau/ mukham nāsikayā tasya tāmrayā tāmram ābabhau, samdhyayā samabhisprstam yathā sūryasya maṇḍalam/ lāngalam ca samāviddham plavamānasya śobhate, ambare vāyuputrasya śakradhvaja ivocchritah/ lāṅgūlacakreṇa mahāñ śukladamstro 'nilātmajaḥ, vyarocata mahāprājñaḥ pariveṣīva bhāskaraḥ/ sphigdeśenābhitāmreṇa rarāja sa mahākapih, mahatā dāriteneva girir gairikadhātunā/ tasva vānarasimhasva plavamānasva sāgaram, kakṣāntaragato vāyur jīmūta iva garjati/ khe yathā nipataty ulkā uttarāntād viniḥsrtā, drśyate sānubandhā ca tathā sa kapikuñjaraḥ/ patatpatamgasamkāśo vyāyataḥ śuśubhe kapiḥ, pravṛddha iva mātamgah kaksyayā badhyamānayā/ uparistāc charīrena chāyayā cāvagādhayā, sāgare mārutāvistā naur ivāsīt tadā kapiḥ/ yam yam deśam samudrasya jagāma sa mahākapiḥ, sa sa tasyāngavegena sonmāda iva laksyate/ sāgarasyormijālānām urasā śailavarsmanām, abhighnams tu mahāvegah pupluve sa mahākapiḥ/ kapivātaś ca balavān meghavātaś ca niḥsrtaḥ, sāgaram bhīmanirghoṣam kampayām āsatur bhṛśam/ vikarṣann ūrmijālāni bṛhanti lavaṇāmbhasi, atyakrāman mahāvegas taraṅgān gaṇayann iva/ plavamānam samīkṣyātha bhujangāh sāgarālayāh, vyomni tam kapiśārdūlam suparnam iti menire/ daśayojanavistīrņā trimśadyojanam āyatā, chāyā vānarasimhasya jale cārutarābhavat/ śvetābhragha narājīva vāyuputrānugāminī, tasya sā śuśubhe chāyā vitatā lavanāmbhasi/ plavamānam tu tam drstvā plavagam tvaritam tadā, vayrsuh puspavarsāni devagandharvadānavāh/ tatāpa na hi tam sūryah plavantam vānareśvaram, sişeve ca tadā vāyū rāmakāryārthasiddhaye/ rṣayas tuṣṭuvuś cainam playamānam vihāyasā, jaguś ca devagandharyāh praśamsanto mahaujasam/daśayojanavistīrnā

trimśadyojanam āyatā, chāyā vānarasimhasya jale cārutarābhavat/ śvetābhragha -narājīva vāyuputrānugāminī, tasya sā śuśubhe chāyā vitatā lavanāmbhasi/ plavamānam tu tam drstvā plavagam tvaritam tadā, vavrsuh puspavarṣāṇi devagandharvadānavāh/ tatāpa na hi tam sūryaḥ plavantam vānareśvaram, sişeve ca tadā vāyū rāmakāryārthasiddhaye/ rsayas tustuvus cainam plavamānam vihāyasā, jaguś ca devagandharvāh praśamsanto mahaujasam/ nāgāś ca tustuvur vaksā raksāmsi vibudhāḥ khagāḥ, prekṣyākāśe kapivaram sahasā vigataklamam/ tasmin plavagaśārdūle plavamāne hanūmati, ikṣvākukulamānārthī cintayām āsa sāgaraḥ/ sāhāyyam vānarendrasya yadi nāham hanūmataḥ, karisyāmi bhavisyāmi sarvavācyo vivaksatām/aham iksyākunāthena sagarena vivardhitah, iksvākusacivas cāyam nāvasīditum arhati/ tathā mayā vidhātavyam visrameta yathā kapih, sesam ca mayi viśrāntah sukhenātipatisyati/ iti krtvā matim sādhvīm samudraś channam ambhasi, hiranyanābham mainākam uvāca girisattamam/ tvam ihāsurasamghānām pātālatalavāsinām, devarājñā giriśrestha parighah samniveśitah/ tvam esām jñātavīryānām punar evotpatisyatām, pātālasyāprameyasya dvāram āvṛtya tiṣṭhasi/ tiryag ūrdhvam adhaś caiva śaktis te śailavardhitum, tasmāt samcodayāmi tvām uttiṣṭha nagasattama/ sa eşa kapiśārdūlas tvām uparyeti vīryavān, hanūmān rāmakāryārtham bhīmakarmā kham āplutah/ tasva sāhvam mavā kārvam iksvākukulavartinah, mama iksvākavah pūjvāh param pūjvatamās tava/ kuru sācivyam asmākam na naḥ kāryam atikramet, kartavyam akṛtam kāryam satām manyum udīrayet/ salilād ūrdhvam uttiṣṭha tiṣṭhatv eṣa kapis tvayi, asmākam atithiś caiva pūjyaś ca plavatām varah/ cāmīkaramahānābha devagandharvasevita, hanūmāms tvayi viśrāntas tatah śesam gamisyati/ kākutsthasyānṛśamsyam ca maithilyāś ca vivāsanam, śramam ca plavagendrasya samīksyotthātum arhasi/ hiranyanābho maināko niśamya lavanāmbhasah, utpapāta jalāt tūrņam mahādrumalatāyutah/ sasāgarajalam bhittvā babhūvātyutthitas tadā, yathā jaladharam bhittvā dīptarasmir divākaraļ/ śātakumbhamayaiḥ śṛṅgaiḥ sakiṃnaramahoragaiḥ, ādityodayasaṃkāśair ālikhadbhir ivāmbaram/ tasya jāmbūnadaih śrṅgaih parvatasya samutthitaih, ākāśaṁ śastrasaṁkāśam abhavat kāñcanaprabham/ jātarūpamayaih sṛṅgair bhrājamānaih svayam prabhaih, ādityasatasamkāsah so 'bhayad girisattamah/ tam utthitam asamgena hanūmān agratah sthitam, madhye lavanatoyasya vighno 'yam iti niścitah/ sa tam ucchritam atyartham mahāvego mahākapih, urasā pātayām āsa jīmūtam iva mārutah/ sa tadā pātitas tena kapinā parvatottamaḥ, buddhvā tasya kaper vegam jaharṣa ca nananda ca/ tam ākāśagatam vīram ākāśe samavasthitam, prīto hrstamanā vākyam abravīt parvatah kapim, mānusam dharayan rūpam ātmanah śikhare sthitah/ duskaram krtayān karma tyam idam yānarottama, nipatya mama śrṅgesu viśramasva yathāsukham/ rāghāvasya kule jātair udadhiḥ parivardhitaḥ, sa tvām rāmahite yuktam pratyarcayati sāgarah/ krte ca pratikartavyam esa dharmah sanātanah, so 'yam tat pratikārārthī tvattah sammānam arhati/ tvannimittam anenāham bahumānāt pracoditah, vojanānām śatam cāpi kapir esa samāplutah, tava sānusu viśrāntah śesam prakramatām iti/ tistha tvam hariśārdūla mayi viśramya gamyatām, tad idam gandhavat svādu kandamūlaphalam bahu, tad āsvādya hariśrestha viśrānto 'nugamişyasi/ asmākam api sambandhaḥ kapimukhyas tvayāsti vai, prakhyātas trisu lokesu mahāguṇaparigrahah/ vegavantaḥ plavanto ye plavagā mārutātmaja, teṣām mukhyatamam manye tvām aham kapikuñjara/ atithih kila pūjārhah prākrto 'pi vijānatā, dharmam jijñāsamānena kim punar yādrso bhayān/ tyam hi deyayaristhasya mārutasya mahātmanah, putras tasyaiya yegena sadrsah kapikuñjara/ pūjite tvayi dharmajna pūjām prāpnoti mārutaḥ, tasmāt tvam pūjanīyo me śṛṇu cāpy atra kāraṇam/ pūrvam krtayuge tāta parvatāh pakṣiṇo 'bhava, te 'pi jagmur diśaḥ sarvā garuḍānilaveginaḥ/ tatas teṣu prayātesu devasamghāh saharsibhih, bhūtāni ca bhayam jagmus tesām patanaśankayā/ tatah kruddhah sahasrāksah parvatānām śatakratuh, paksāmś ciccheda vajrena tatra tatra sahasraśah/ sa mām upagatah kruddho vajram udyamya devarāt, tato 'haṁ sahasā ksiptah śvasanena mahātmanā/ asmiml lavanatoye ca praksiptah plavagottama, guptapaksah samagraś ca tava pitrābhiraksitah/ tato 'ham mānayāmi tvām mānyo hi mama mārutaḥ, tvayā me hy eṣa sambandhaḥ kapimukhya mahāguṇaḥ/ asminn evamgate kārye sāgarasya mamaiva ca, prītim prītamanā kartum tvam arhasi mahākape/ śramam mokṣaya pūjām ca gṛhāṇa kapisattama, prītim ca bahumanyasva prīto 'smi tava darśanāt/ evam uktaḥ kapiśreṣṭhas tam nagottamam abravīt, prīto 'smi kṛtam ātithyam manyur eso 'panīyatām/ tvarate kāryakālo me ahaś cāpy ativartate, pratijñā ca mayā dattā na sthātavyam ihāntarā/ ity uktvā pāninā śailam ālabhya haripumgavah, jagāmākāśam āviśya vīryavān prahasann iva/ sa parvatasamudrābhyām bahumānād aveksitah, pūjitas copapannābhir āsīrbhir anilātmajah/ athordhyam dūram utpatya hityā

śailamahārnavau, pituh panthānam āsthāya jagāma vimale 'mbare/ bhūyaś cordhvagatim prāpya girim tam avalokayan, vāyusūnur nirālambe jagāma vimale 'mbare/ tad dvitīyam hanumato drstvā karma suduşkaram, praśaśamsuh surāh sarve siddhāś ca paramarşayah/ devatāś cābhavan hṛṣṭās tatrasthās tasya karmanā, kāñcanasya sunābhasya sahasrākṣaś ca vāsavah/ uvāca vacanam dhīmān paritoṣāt sagadgadam, sunābham parvataśrestham svavam eva śacīpatih/hiranvanābhaśailendraparitusto 'smi te bhṛśam, abhayam te prayacchāmi tiṣṭha saumya yathāsukham/ sāhyam kṛtam te sumahad vikrāntasya hanūmatah, kramato yojanaśatam nirbhayasya bhaye sati/rāmasyaisa hi dautyena yāti dāśarather harih, satkriyām kurvatā śakyā toṣito 'smi dṛḍham tvayā' tatah praharṣam alabhad vipulam parvatottamaḥ, devatānām patim drstvā paritustam satakratum/ sa vai dattavarah sailo babhūvāvasthitas tadā, hanūmāms ca muhūrtena vyaticakrāma sāgaram/ tato devāh sagandharvāh siddhās ca paramarsayah, abruvan sūryasamkāśām surasām nāgamātaram/ ayam vātātmajah śrīmān plavate sāgaropari, hanūmān nāma tasya tvam muhūrtam vighnam ācara/ rāksasam rūpam āsthāya sughoram parvatopamam, damstrākarālam pingāksam vaktram krtvā nabhahsprsam/ balam icchāmahe jñātum bhūyas cāsya parākramam, tvām vijesyaty upāyena viṣadam vā gamiṣyati/ evam uktā tu sā devī daivatair abhisatkṛtā, samudramadhye surasā bibhratī rāksasam yapuh/ vikrtam ca virūpam ca saryasya ca bhayāyaham, plavamānam hanūmantam āvṛṭyedam uvāca ha/ mama bhakṣaḥ pradiṣṭas tvam īśvarair vānararṣabha, aham tvām bhakṣayiṣyāmi praviśedam mamānanam/ evam uktaḥ surasayā prāñjalir vānararṣabhaḥ, prahrstavadanah śrīmān idam vacanam abravīt/ rāmo dāśarathir nāma pravisto dandakāvanam, laksmanena saha bhrātrā vaidehvā cāpi bhāryayā/ asya kāryavisaktasya baddhavairasya rāksasaih, tasya sītā hṛtā bhāryā rāvaṇena yaśasvinī/ tasyāh sakāśam dūto 'ham gamişye rāmaśāsanāt, kartum arhasi rāmasya sāhyam viṣayavāsini/ atha vā maithilīm dṛṣṭvā rāmam cākliṣṭakāriṇam, āgamiṣyāmi te vaktram satyam pratiśrnomi te/ evam uktā hanumatā surasā kāmarūpinī, abravīn nātivarten mām kaś cid esa varo mama/ evam uktah surasayā kruddho vānarapumgavah, abravīt kuru vai vaktram yena mām viṣahiṣyase/ ity uktvā surasām kruddho daśayojanam āyataḥ,daśayojanavistāro babhūva hanumāms tadā/ tam drstvā meghasamkāśam daśayojanam āyatam, cakāra surasāpy āsyam vimśadyojanam āyatam/ hanumāms tu tataḥ kruddhas trimśadyojanam āyataḥ, cakāra surasā vaktram catvārimśat tathocchritam/ babhūva hanumān vīraḥ pañcāśadyojanocchritaḥ, cakāra surasā vaktram ṣaṣṭiyojanam āyatam/ tathaiva hanumān vīrah saptatim vojanocchritah, cakāra surasā vaktram ašītim vojanāvatam/ hanūmān acala prakhyo navatim yojanocchritah, cakāra surasā vaktram satayojanam āyatam/ tad dṛṣṭvā vyāditam tv āsyam vāyuputraḥ sa buddhimān, dīrghajihvam surasayā sughoram narakopamam/ sa samkṣipyātmanaḥ kāyam jīmūta iva mārutih, tasmin muhūrte hanumān babhūvāngusthamātrakah/ so 'bhipatyāśu tad vaktram nispatya ca mahājavah, antarikse sthitah śrīmān idam vacanam abravīt/ pravisto 'smi hi te vaktram dākṣāyaṇi namo 'stu te, gamiṣye yatra vaidehī satyam cāstu vacas tava/ tam dṛṣṭvā vadanān muktam candram rāhumukhād iva, abravīt surasā devī svena rūpena vānaram/ arthasiddhyai hariśrestha gaccha saumya yathāsukham, samānaya ca vaidehīm rāghavena mahātmanā/ tat trtīyam hanumato drstvā karma suduşkaram, sādhu sādhv iti bhūtāni praśaśamsus tadā harim/sa sāgaram anādhṛṣyam abhyetya varunālayam, jagāmākāśam āviśya vegena garunopamah/ sevite vāridhāribhih patagaiś ca nisevite, carite kaiśikācārvair airāvatanisevite/ simhakuñjaraśārdūlapatagoragavāhanaih, vimānaih sampatadbhiś ca vimalaih samalamkrte/ vajrāśanisamāghātaih pāvakair upaśobhite, krtapunvair mahābhāgaiḥ svargajidbhir alamkṛte/ bahatā havyam atyantam sevite citrabhānunā, grahanaksatracandrārkatārāganavibhūsite/ maharsiganagandharvanāgayaksasamākule, vivikte vimale viśve viśvāvasunisevite/ devarājagajākrānte candrasūryapathe śive, vitāne jīvalokasya vitato brahmanirmite/ bahuśah sevite vīrair vidyādharaganair varaih, kapinā kṛsyamānāni mahābhrāni cakāśire/ praviśann abhrajālāni niṣpatamś ca punaḥ punaḥ, prāvṛṣīndur ivābhāti niṣpatan praviśams tadā/ plavamānam tu tam drstvā simhikā nāma rāksasī, manasā cintayām āsa pravrddhā kāmarūpiņī/ adya dīrghasya kālasya bhaviṣyāmy aham āśitā, idam hi me mahat sattvam cirasya vaśam āgatam/ iti samcintya manasā chāyām asya samakṣipat, chāyāyām samgrhītāyām cintayām āsa vānaraḥ/ samākṣipto 'smi sahasā paṅgūkṛtaparākramah, pratilomena vātena mahānaur iva sāgare/ tirvag ūrdhvam adhaś caiva vīksamānas tatah kapih, dadarśa sa mahāsattvam utthitam lavanāmbhasi/ kapirājñā vad ākhyātam sattvam adbhutadarśanam, chāyāgrāhi mahāvīryam tad idam nātra samśayah/ sa tām buddhvārtha tattvena simhikām matimān kapih, vyavardhata mahākāvah prāvrsīva balāhakah/ tasva sā kāvam

udvīksya vardhamānam mahākapeh, vaktram prasārayām āsa pātālāmbarasamnibham/ sa dadarśa tatas tasyā vikrtam sumahan mukham, kāyamātram ca medhāvī marmāni ca mahākapih/ sa tasyā vivrte vaktre vajrasamhananah kapih, samksipya muhur ātmānam nispapāta mahābalah/ āsye tasyā nimajjantam dadṛśuḥ siddhacāraṇāḥ, grasyamānam yathā candram pūrṇam parvaṇi rāhuṇā/ tatas tasya nakhais tīksnair marmāny utkrtva vānarah, utpapātātha vegena manahsampātavikramah tām hatām vānarenāśu patitām vīksya simhikām, bhūtāny ākāśacārīni tam ūcuh plavagarsabham/ bhīmam adya kṛtam karma mahat sattvam tvayā hatam, sādhayārtham abhipretam aristam plavatām vara/yasya tv etāni catvāri vānarendra vathā tava, dhrtir drstir matir dāksvam sa karmasu na sīdati sa taih sambhāvitah pūjyah pratipannaprayojanah, jagāmākāśam āviśya pannagāśanavat kapih/ prāptabhūyistha pāras tu sarvatah pratilokayan, yojanānām satasyānte vanarājim dadarsa sah/ dadarsa ca patann eva vividhadrumabhūsitam, dvīpam śākhāmrgaśrestho malayopavanāni ca/ sāgaram sāgarānūpān sāgarānūpajān drumān, sāgarasya ca patnīnām mukhāny api vilokayan/ sa mahāmeghasamkāsam samīkṣyātmānam ātmanā, nirundhantam ivākāśam cakāra matimān matim/ kāyavṛddhim pravegam ca mama dṛṣṭvaiva rākṣasāh, mayi kautūhalam kuryur iti mene mahākapih/ tataḥ śarīram samkṣipya tan mahīdharasamnibham, punah prakrtim āpede vītamoha ivātmavān/ sa cārunānāvidharūpadhārī; param samāsādya samudratīram, parair aśakyapratipannarūpaḥ; samīkṣitātmā samavekṣitārthaḥ/ tataḥ sa lambasya gireḥ samṛddhe; vicitrakūṭe nipapāta kūṭe, saketakoddālakanālikere; mahādrikūṭapratimo mahātmā/ sa sāgaram dānavapannagāyutam; balena vikramya mahormimālinam, nipatya tīre ca mahodadhes tadā: dadarśa lankām amarāvatīm iva/

Veera Hanuman had decided to perform such impossible feat that no earthly beings could ever perform as he commenced expanding his head and shoulders. His intention was to move about freely all over the earth and cross the Maha Sagara even with the facility of divinities like Surya-Indra-Pavan-Brahma. He took to such gigantic physique that with that body he would trample mountains with his hold and feet into pieces. As the Mountain Mahendra was subdued, the creatures in the moutain caves were rattled and created screeching sounds. As the Mountain was suppressed, the big size serpents made loud hissing sounds seeking to crush the mountain boulders. The thurst and speed of the jumpings of Hanuman shook up the tall and strong trees in such an manner that heaps of flowers fell right onto the surfaces of the gushing and roaring sea waves spreading heavenly smell all around. The plentiful spread of inherent natural herbal medicines on the mountain ranges seemed to have failed the free flows of heaps of poisons as emitted from the huge serpents. Then, tapasvi Vidyadaraas and Siddha Chanuraas felt that some Maha Shaktis were annoyed and parvataas were being broken down and as such left their abodes along with their woman folks and shifted skyward. Then they soon realised that Vewera Hanuman was seeking to crosss the Sea. Meanwhile, Hanuman roared with the strength of thousands of lions as if Vayu deva was creating reverberations along with Varuna Deva across the sky. lāngalam ca samāviddham plavamānasya śobhate, ambare vāyuputrasya śakradhvaja ivocchritah/ lāngūlacakrena mahāñ śukladamṣṭro 'nilātmajah, vyarocata mahāprājñah parivesīva bhāskarah/ As Hanuman was vitually floating on winds his tail like the dharma dhwaja of Lord Indra Deva was similar. Buddhhimaan Pavana putra Hanuman's white beard and the tail curled up and twisted in circles as though the globe of the Surva Mandala was flashed up gloriously and thus the Celestials could recognise him readily especially by the flashes of his long and elongated tail. Khe yathaa niputtululkā uttarāntād vinihsrtā, drśyate sānubandhā ca tathā sa kapikuñjarah/ patatpatamgasamkāśo vyāyatah śuśubhe kapih, pravrddha iva mātamgah kaksyayā badhyamānayā/ uparistāc charīrena chāyayā cāvagādhayā, sāgare mārutāvistā naur ivāsīt tadā kapih/ Just as meteor or rapidly shtooting Star creating streaks of incandescence, Hanuman is ever recognised by its tail! Further his Surya like collosal form is recognised by the tail just like an elephant is recognised by the strong iron rod fixed deep on the earth. khe yathā nipataty ulkā uttarāntād viniḥsrtā, drśyate sānubandhā ca tathā sa kapikuñjaraḥ/ patatpatamgasamkāśo vyāyataḥ śuśubhe kapiḥ, pravṛddha iva mātamgah kaksyayā badhyamānayā/ uparistāc charīrena chāyayā cāvagādhayā, sāgare mārutāvistā naur ivāsīt tadā kapih/Just as meteor, known as a shooting star or falling star-a comet or asteroid through Earth's atmosphere, -after being heated to incandescence by collisions with air in the upper atmosphere in its wake- Hanuman's tail too is visible on the sky line. Like the ever mobile Surya Deva, Hanuman too is

clearly distinguishable on account of his ever long and mighty tail, even as a King of elephants could be be seen clearly by the iron rod with which its mobility is halted. yam yam deśam samudrasya jagāma sa mahākapih, sa sa tasyāngavegena sonmāda iva laksyate/ sāgarasyormijālānām urasā śailavarsmanām, abhighnams tu mahāvegah pupluve sa mahākapih/ kapivātaś ca balavān meghavātaś ca nihsṛtaḥ, sāgaram bhīmanirghosam kampavām āsatur bhrśam/ Interestingly as and when Hanuman's collossal body moved farther and farther up on the high Sea, the waves rise higher only to see, stare and admire his massively unbelievable physical frame. The Maha Vegashaali Maha Kapi Huanman like of the height of mountains then raced up across by making forcible ways by smashing such waves and making further way by the might of his huge and brawny chest. As the Kapi Shreshtha with mountain like form was dashing with the speed of 'Vaayu', the high tide waves seemed to have been distressed with panic and what with the vayu garjana and the dreadsome atmosphere all around. The fishes of small and huge dimensions were jumping up quite high and deep down quite visible to the onlookers on the shores., especially the fishermen running far away from the shores. daśayojanavistīrnā trimśadyojanam āyatā, chāyā vānarasimhasya jale cārutarābhavat/ śvetābhragha -narājīva vāyuputrānugāminī, tasya sā śuśubhe chāyā vitatā lavanāmbhasi/The shadow of Hanuman at that time was of the dimension of ten yojanas of width and thirty yojanas of height looking fantastic from the onlookers on the shores. The shadow of His profile if one could follow was similar to the linings of white clouds up above on the sky.

[Vishleshana on Anjaneya's self confidence to cross the Maha Sagara, his decisiveness as expressed by himself vide Sarga Sixty Seven of Kishkindha Ramayana as follows: '

Veera Hanuman stood amidst the Vaanaras and addressed them especially the elderly Vanara Vriddhas thus: 'I am of the strength and speed of Vaayu Deva, my originator and am possessive of endless energy. Vayu Deva is a great friend of Agni Deva! I am blessed with the might of destryoing mountains to pieces. Being the step son of Vayu Deva, my single jump could cross Maha Samudras. I could perform thousand parikramas of the thousand yojana spread of Maha Meru Parvata. bāhuvegapranunnena sāgarenāham utsahe, samā -plāvayitum lokam saparvatanadīhradam/ mamorujanghāvegena bhavisvati samutthitah, sammūrchitamahāgrāhah samudro varunālavah/ pannagāsanam ākāse patantam paksisevitam, vainatevam aham śaktah parigantum sahasraśah/ With the unimaginable might of my shoulders and hands, I could splash and pound the high waves of Maha Samudras, and create devastation and mahem of high mountains. Lord Varuna's nivasa of Sapta Sagaras [Sapta Samudras: Lavana or Salt, Ikshurasa or Sugarcane juice, Sura or Wine, Ghrita or Classified Butter, Dahi or Curd, Ksheera or Milk and Suswada or Sweet Water] could be violently shaken to distress. Vaanara vriddhaas! Like Maha Veera Garuda the elder son of Vinata Devi is in the habit of 'akaasha parikrama' and my ability is such that I could comfortably perform such parikramas by thousand times. I could follow Surya Deva in his regular daily pradakshinas from Udayaagiri to the Astamaagiri! utsaheyam atikrāntum sarvān ākāśagocarān, sāgaram kşobhayişyāmi dārayişyāmi medinīm/ parvatān kampayişyāmi plavamānah plavamgamāh, harişye coruvegena plavamāno mahārnavam/ Surely I have the capacity and aptitude to cross ahead of Nava Grahas, dry up oceans, destroy mountains, and keep jumping across the universe! buddhyā cāham prapaśyāmi manaś ceṣṭā ca me tathā, aham drakṣyāmi vaidehīm pramodadhvam plavamgamāḥ/ mārutasya samo vege garudasya samo jave, ayutam yojanānām tu gamisyāmīti me matih/ vāsavasya savajrasya brahmano vā svayambhuvah, vikramya sahasā hastād amṛtam tad ihānaye, lankām vāpi samutksipya gaccheyam iti me matih/ Vaanaras! As I apply my mind and cogitate, so do the circumstances and conditions too shape up likewise. My decisiveness right now is to see Videha Kumari's immediate darshan; now, you folks! Enjoy now and rejoice with very quick and most positive results and sweet fruits. I am only comparable to Vayu Deva and Garuda Deva; my strong belief and firm conviction at present is that I could comfortably undertake a rapid run of ten thousand yojanas of distance by air! Believe me my friends, right now, my morale and enthusiasm is such that I could seize and secure 'amrit' from the hands of Vajradhaari Indra or even Svayambhu Brahma Deva himself! Of which avail is, after all, pulling and uprooting the Kingdom Ravanasur's Lanka!' As Veera Hanuman assured thumping success from his tour of Lanka and back, the huge mass of Vaanaras paid sky high tributes, clappings,

and victory shoutings of feverish rejoicings. Then commenced 'Swasti Vachanaas' and high tributes to the hero stating: <code>rsīṇām</code> ca prasādena kapivṛddhamatena ca,gurūṇām ca prasādena plavasva tvam mahārṇavam/ sthāsyāmaś caikapādena yāvadāgamanam tava, tvadgatāni ca sarveṣām jīvitāni vanaukasām/ 'Maha Vanara Anjaneya! May you carry with you in your epic like tour by crossing the Maha Sagara with memorable success and safe return the heart felt blessings of Maharshis, Gurus, Elders and friends. We would all await your successful travel and very fruitful return; do trust us that your success would provide us all a fresh lease of our lives.' Hanuman replied: As I would now jump and cross the Samudra, be assured that in the universe none could ever imitate. My initial jump would be to the top of Mahendra Parvata which is replete with trees bearing juicy and sweet fruits.' Thus, the Maha Kapeshvara reached, selected a few luscious fruits, enjoyed them relaxingly and remebered of Lanka fotthwith for the subsequent jump forward.]

Stanza 83 onwards: plavamānam tu tam drstvā plavagam tvaritam tadā, vavrsuh puspavarsāni devagandharvadānavāh/ tatāpa na hi tam sūrvah plavantam vānaresvaram, siseve ca tadā vāvū rāmakāryārthasiddhaye/ rṣayas tuṣṭuvuś cainam plavamānam vihāyasā, jaguś ca devagandharvāḥ praśamsanto mahaujasam/ As the Maha Vaanara likes was dashing to the southern direction, Deva-Gandharva-Chaaranas from the high skies were performing rains of flowers; this was especially so as Veera Hanuman was dashing on Shri 'Rama Karya' and Vayu Deva was accordingly cooperating to shover and reach the Great Messenger! Rishi Munis on earth too were showering 'veda pravachana ashirvaadas' too simultaneously. tasmin plavagaśārdūle plavamāne hanūmati, ikṣvākukulamānārthī cintayām āsa sāgarah/ sāhāyyam vānarendrasya yadi nāham hanūmatah, karişyāmi bhavişyāmi sarvavācyo vivakṣatām/ aham ikṣvākunāthena sagareṇa vivardhitaḥ, ikṣvākusacivaś cāyam nāvasīditum arhati/The Deva Karya in the context of Anjaneya was intending to perform was in the interest of the famed Ikshvaku Vamsha. In case the Vanara Raja Hanuman were not to have dutifully done then that would have become a target of blamefuless. The glory of Ikshavaku Kula was pioneered by Sagara Chakravarti Himself. In case, Veera Hanuman had not performed the present noble and virtuous deed despite his outstanding ability to help then the posterity would most certainly dishonour Anjaneya! Then Sagara Deva on his part decided to help Anjaneya by giving the latter some rest and diversion and approached the golden coloured 'Giri Shreshtha Maina Parvata'

[Vishleshana on Sagara Chakravarti: as sourced from Maha Bhagavata Purana:

Harischandra and his wife displayed unprecedented determination and tenacity to uphold Virtue and Selfsacrifice. The Son Rohitasya was brought back to life and was made the King, while Harischandra and wife Chandramati were provided instant places in Heavens. Visvamitra helped to populate the Kingdom and set examples of Dharma and surrender to Almighty. Harischandra's lineage after his son, Rohitasya was followed by sons Haritha-Champa-Sudeva-Vijaya-Bharuka-Vakra-Bahuka and Sagara (Sa-Gara ie born with poison, as Bahuka's co-wives tried to poison the boy's mother). Emporer Sagara performed Asvamedha (Horse) Sacrifice and Indra hid the horse which was discovered by the unruly 60,000 sons of Sagara, nearby the place where Sage Kapila was practising Sankhaya Yoga and when disturbed badly, the Sage burnt all of them into ashes by his power. Sagara's son by another wife, Asamanjasa or Ansuman pursued the search of the Sacrificial Horse and found the Horse where Kapila was in meditation. Ansuman begged of the Sage about the where- abouts of his cousins and was informed that the hooligans were burnt to death and could be brought back to life only when washed by the River of Ganges which could only be brought down to Earth from the Skies. The Sacrifice of Horse having been performed by Sagara, Ansuman began his devotion to Lord Siva to bring Ganges down to Earth. But neither he nor his father Dilipa could succeed in the mission. It was for Bhagiradha to purse the operation further. If Harishandra gave an eternal memory in truthfulness and integrity, a person of the same dynasity proved as a role model in tenacity. His life's mission was to bring Ganges down to Earth from Heavens]

Stanza 92 onward:

tvam ihāsurasamghānām pātālatalavāsinām, devarājñā giriśrestha parighah samniveśitah/ tvam esām jñātavīryāṇām punar evotpatiṣyatām, pātālasyāprameyasya dvāram āvṛtya tiṣṭhasi/ tiryag ūrdhvam adhaś caiva śaktis te śailavardhitum, tasmāt samcodayāmi tvām uttistha nagasattama/ Samudra Deva then addressed Mainaka Parvata to coperate with Anjaneva to relax for a while and said: 'Shaila Pravara! Please recall that Lord Indra asked you to close the path for Patala as that that way happened to be a direct route to that from where Asuras as their desperation to enter Bhuloka to create a scare here especially to Tapasvis. Thus you are standing here only for that purpose. Shailottama! We are blessed with the inherent ability to grow up or down or to expand or contract. sa esa kapiśārdūlas tvām uparyeti vīryavān, hanūmān rāmakāryārtham bhīmakarmā kham āplutaḥ/ tasya sāhyam mayā kāryam ikṣvākukulavartinaḥ, mama iksvākavah pūjyāh param pūjyatamās tava/kuru sācivyam asmākam na nah kāryam atikramet, kartavyam akṛtam kāryam satām manyum udīrayet/ Maha Shaila! Please note that Maha Parakrami Veeraanjaneya is about to cross you on the way to Lanka on Shri Rama Karya siddhi and as you might be aware that Ikshvaku Vamsha Kings are paramount dharmatmas. Veera Hanuman is right travelling across the Sea and one cannot afford to annoy satpurushas like Hanuman especially crossing the Sea but in fact to one's best to please them. salilād ūrdhvam uttistha tisthatv eşa kapis tvayi, asmākam atithiś caiva pūjyas ca plavatām varaļ/ cāmīkaramahānābha devagandharvasevita, hanūmāms tvayi visrāntas tataļ śesam gamisyati/ kākutsthasyānṛśaṃsyaṃ ca maithilyāś ca vivāsanam, śramaṃ ca plavagendrasya samīksyotthātum arhasi/ hiranyanābho maināko niśamya lavanāmbhasah, utpapāta jalāt tūrnam mahādrumalatāyutah/ That is why, you may please increase your height to facilitate Hanuman to jump down with ease so that he could feel relaxed for a while. Mainaka Parvata Raja! Indeed you are pleased with golden 'shikhara'. May Hanuman be your honourable guest and let him be falicitated accordingly. Maha Mainaka! You are respected by Devatas and Gandharvas always. After resting for a while, respectable Hanuman would proceed further. As Samudra Deva requested Mainaka Parvata, the latter having raised the height, addressed Hanuman: duskaram kṛtavān karma tvam idam vānarottama, nipatya mama śrṅgesu viśramasva yathāsukham/ rāghāvasya kule jātair udadhih parivardhitah, sa tvām rāmahite yuktam pratyarcayati sāgarah/ kṛte ca pratikartavyam eṣa dharmah sanātanah, so 'yam tat pratikārārthī tvattah sammānam arhati/ Vanara shiromane! You have decided on an unprecedented adventure! Now, do please take a brief break before you may proceed further. Samudra Deva has asked me to perform 'satkaara'. The ancestors of Raghu Vamsha enabled Samudra Vriddhi and now Samudra decided to do good to you as this is as per Sanatana Dharma. Saagara Deva is therefore asking me to do 'Sanmaana' to you stating that you have firmed up your decision to cross the Samudra by hundred yojanas and as such you might wish to have some rest and relaxation on your way. Atop this mountain is a wealth of trees with sweet fruits and a number of herbs and roots for your enjoyment. atithih kila pūjārhah prākrto 'pi vijānatā, dharmam jijñāsamānena kim punar yādṛśo bhavān/ tvam hi devavariṣṭhasya mārutasya mahātmanah, putras tasyaiva vegena sadršah kapikuñjara/ pūjite tvayi dharmajña pūjām prāpnoti mārutaḥ, tasmāt tvam pūjanīyo me śṛṇu cāpy atra kāraṇam/ Dharma jigjnaasa purushas asserted that even a normal 'atithi' be treated as 'atithi deva' and you are an unprecedented 'athithi' in your very special context; you are Vayu Putra, Dharma inaata and worshipping you is as good as worship Vayu Deva Himself! pūrvam krtayuge tāta parvatāh pakṣiṇo 'bhava, te 'pi jagmur diśaḥ sarvā garuḍānilaveginaḥ/ tatas tesu prayātesu devasamghāh saharsibhih, bhūtāni ca bhayam jagmus tesām patanaśankayā/tatah kruddhah sahasrāksah parvatānām śatakratuh, paksām's ciccheda vajrena tatra tatra sahasrasah/ In the remote past of Satya Yuga, all the mountains used to have wings and like Garuda Deva had the abilty to fly as the wished. But Indra was unhapy and clipped off the wings of the mountains with his 'vajraayudha 'and were stayed placed as they were. sa mām upagatah kruddho vajram udyamya devarāt, tato 'ham sahasā kṣiptaḥ śvasanena mahātmanā/ asmiml lavaṇatoye ca prakṣiptaḥ plavagottama, guptapakṣaḥ samagraś ca tava pitrābhiraksitah/ tato 'ham mānayāmi tvām mānyo hi mama mārutah, tvayā me hy esa sambandhah kapimukhya mahāgunah/At that very time Indra raised his vajraayudha on me too, but your father Vaayu Deva had carried me off and I fell in the 'kshaara sumudra' and saved me as a great exception. And hence I am ever greatful to him eversince! asminn evanigate kārye sāgarasya mamaiva ca, prītim prītamanā kartum tvam arhasi mahākape/ śramam moksaya pūjām ca grhāna kapisattama,

prītim ca bahumanyasva prīto 'smi tava darśanāt/ Thus after a long gap of time, I have the honour of repaying the debt and please accept this offer. Kindly oblige me. Then Kapi shrestha Hanuman replied that he was very pleased as his offer to rest was quite welcome and could not be negated in any case, but in the presence of a huge multitude of Veera Vaanaraas, he made a 'pratigina' and as such he would not be spare much time. Having thus stated by Maina Parvata, he touched Maina with affection, received his atithya with veneration, and flew in continuation of Shri Rama Karya of Sitanveshana. Then tato devāh sagandharvāḥ siddhāś ca paramarṣayaḥ, abruvan sūryasamkāśām surasām nāgamātaram/ ayam vātātmajah śrīmān playate sāgaropari, hanūmān nāma tasya tyam muhūrtam vighnam ācara/ Deva-Gandharva- Siddhha-Maharshis then assembled and approached 'Naaga Maata' to test Veera Hanuman's endurance and create some disturbance of his psychology and will power and prove to the world that it was not his bravado but unswerving determination to accomplish. They asked the Naga Maata to assume the form of a raakshasi: rāksasam rūpam āsthāya sughoram parvatopamam, damstrākarālam pingāksam vaktram krtvā nabhahsprsam/ balam icchāmahe jñātum bhūyas cāsya parākramam, tvām vijesyaty upāvena visadam vā gamisvati/In a truly heinous form of hers with grotesque cruelty, yellow eyes and agry looks, the test would be to create horror and dissuade or at any rate delay Hanuman for long enough time. She addressed Hanuman disgustingly: 'Vanara! You have now entered my face and could never get out of it.' Having said thus sha expanded her face further and stood right before him. Then Hanuman replied: You may keep expanding your face as much as you would feel far heavier with my weight and volume, and kept quiet; Surasa magnified her face by ten vojanas while Hanuman doubled the size to twenty yojanas, infact he got irritated and furthee expanded to thierty yojanas. As she made it forty, he did fiffty. Suras was still on the counter move and expanded upto sixty yojanas. The competition continued till Surasa made a full hundred yojanas. tad drstvā vyāditam tv āsyam vāyuputrah sa buddhimān, dīrghajihvam surasayā sughoram narakopamam/ sa samksipyātmanah kāyam jīmūta iva mārutih, tasmin muhūrte hanumān babhūvāngusthamātrakah/ so 'bhipatyāśu tad vaktram niṣpatya ca mahājavah, antarikse sthitah śrīmān idam vacanam abravīt/ As Surasa thus expanded her face up to hundred yojanas, Vayu putra Hanuman very cleverly started shrinking his massive body to the size of just a finger ring. pravișto 'smi hi te vaktram dākṣāyaṇi namo 'stu te, gamiṣye yatra vaidehī satyam cāstu vacas tava/ tam drstvā vadanān muktam candram rāhumukhād iva, abravīt surasā devī svena rūpena vānaram/ arthasiddhyai hariśrestha gaccha saumya yathāsukham, samānaya ca yaidehīm rāghayena mahātmanā/ tat trtīyam hanumato drstvā karma suduşkaram, sādhu sādhv iti bhūtāni praśaśamsus tadā harim/ Then he asserted to the rakshasi swarupa Surasa Naga Devata and thundered: 'Daksha Kumari! My greetings to you! I have now comfortably entered into your mammoth face and your boon of truthfulness to me stands consolidated and accomplished now. Now I should be able to reach Devi Sita very easily and quickly'. So saying, Veera Hanuman had freed himself from the hundred yojana size of the face of Maha Nagini Surasa just as Chandra Deva gets relieved from the tight clasp of Rahu Graha! Then Maha Nagini complemented Hunuman and wished him best wishes to soon meet Videhanandini Devi Sita soon. Then Hanuman started racing forward as though he was tearing through the red, yellow and white clouds while receiving the compliments of all the Beings on earth for having successfully encounterd the third difficult issue to on the way thus far. playamānam tu tam drstvā simhikā nāma rākṣasī, manasā cintayām āsa pravṛddhā kāmarūpiṇī/adya dīrghasya kālasya bhaviṣyāmy aham āśitā, idam hi me mahat sattvam cirasya vasam āgatam/ iti samcintya manasā chāyām asya samaksipat, chāyāyām samgrhītāyām cintayām āsa vānarah/ samāksipto 'smi sahasā pangūkṛtaparākramah, pratilomena vātena mahānaur iva sāgare/ He was rushing forward by changing his sizes from miniature to mammoth, he faced the Maha Kaya Rakshasi named Simhika. She was happy to see a Vanara and was delighted that he could be a nice prey to enjoy his delicious meat. Thus thrilled at the golden chance, the rakasasi quickly grabbed that that unfortunately for her that was a mere shadow of Hanuman. She regretted her misgiving to catch the shadow but not the real vanara and ruminated: 'aho!I have only caught hold of the shadow of the Vanara as the sweep of winds misled me that the shadow was not the real one. tiryag ūrdhvam adhaś caiva vīksamānas tatah kapih, dadarśa sa mahāsattvam utthitam lavaṇāmbhasi/kapirājñā yad ākhyātam sattvam adbhutadarśanam, chāyāgrāhi mahāvīryam tad idam nātra samśayah/ Then Hanuman saw up and down and realised that on the banks of the Maha Sagara and

its high tides had shown a clear shadow of a huge figure. He recalled that once before Sugriva did mention that a ghastly encounter with a Maha Rakshasi would be possible on reaching the shores of Lanka. Sa taam buddhvārtha -tattvena simhikām matimān kapiḥ, vyavardhata mahākāyaḥ prāvṛṣīva balāhakaḥ/ tasya sā kāyam udvīkṣya vardhamānam mahākapeh, vaktram prasārayām āsa pātālāmbarasamnibham/ sa dadarśa tatas tasvā vikrtam sumahan mukham, kāvamātram ca medhāvī marmāni ca mahākapih/ sa tasyā vivrte vaktre vajrasamhananah kapih, samksipya muhur ātmānam nispapāta mahābalah/ Then had mentally confirmed that the Rakshasi was apparently the Simhika Rakshasi. The latter made a huge roaring sound enlarging her from as if from Patala to Aakaasha and ran after Hanuman. The intelligent Anjaneya aimed at her 'marma sthaana' and gave a strong but deadly punch. Then as the proceedings of Hanuman's landing on the Seashore were being closely monitored, 'Siddha Charuna Mahatmas' had instantly visioned the scene Hanuman's punch effect in the deathwise fall of the huge figure of Simsika. There were hailings from them saying: 'Kapi Vara! I have just performed a frightfil deed indeed by virtue of presence and timely application of your mental caliber. Now hopefully your way ahead is of victory. asya tv etāni catvāri vānarendra yathā tava, dhṛtir dṛṣṭir matir dākṣyam sa karmasu na sīdati/ sa taih sambhāvitah pūjyah pratipannaprayojanah, jagāmākāśam āviśva pannagāśanavat kapih/ prāptabhūyiṣṭha pāras tu sarvataḥ pratilokayan, yojanānām śatasyānte vanarājim dadarśa saḥ/ dadarśa ca patann eva vividhadrumabhūṣitam, dvīpam śākhāmṛgaśreṣṭho malayopavanāni ca/ The celestial voices further hailed: 'Vaanarendra! A Being of dhriti-drishti-mati-deeksha or courage- visualisation application of mind, and dedication would never face failures in life. Thus having successfully killed Simhika, Hanuman got up to the sky again as having covered the distance of the hundred yojanas of the Sea successfully and reached the Malaya named mountain and saw the gardens there. Then having discarded his varying physical forms of giant to very minute sizes assumed the normal and natural size. Subsequently he stared at the magnificence of Lanka from above.

Sarga Two

Description of Lankapuri's beauty, thoughts about the size in which he shoud enter the interiors of the city and on the descripiton Chandrodaya

Sa sāgaram anādhṛṣyam atikramya mahābalaḥ, trikūṭaśikhare laṅkāṁ sthitāṁ svastho dadarśa ha/ tataḥ pādapamuktena puspavarsena vīryavān, abhivrstah sthitas tatra babhau puspamayo yathā/ yojanānām śatam śrīmāms tīrtvāpy uttamavikramah, aniśvasan kapis tatra na glānim adhigacchati/ śatāny aham vojanānām krameyam subahūny api, kim punah sāgarasyāntam samkhyātam śatayojanam/ sa tu vīryavatām śresthah plavatām api cottamah, jagāma vegavāml lankām langhayitvā mahodadhim/ śādvalāni ca nīlāni gandhavanti vanāni ca, gandavanti ca madhyena jagāma nagavanti ca/ śailām's ca tarusamchannān vanarājīś ca puṣpitāḥ, abhicakrāma tejasvī hanumān plavagarṣabhah/ sa tasminn acale tiṣṭhan vanāny upavanāni ca, sa nagāgre ca tām lankām dadarśa pavanātmajaḥ/ saralān karnikārāmś ca kharjūrām's ca supuspitān, privālān muculindām's ca kutajān ketakān api/privangūn gandhapūrnām's ca nīpān saptacchadāms tathā, asanān kovidārāms ca karavīrāms ca puspitān/ puspabhāranibaddhāms ca tathā mukulitān api, pādapān vihagākīrṇān pavanādhūtamastakān/ hamsakāraṇḍavākīrṇā vāpīḥ padmotpalāyutāh, ākrīdān vividhān ramyān vividhām's ca jalāsayān/ samtatān vividhair vrksaih sarvartuphalapuspitaih, udyānāni ca ramyāni dadarśa kapikuñjarah/ samāsādya ca laksmīvāmi lankām rāvanapālitām, parikhābhih sapadmābhih sotpalābhir alamkṛtām/ sītāpaharanārthena rāvanena surakṣitām, samantād vicaradbhiś ca rākṣasair ugradhanvibhiḥ/ kāñcanenāvṛtām ramyām prākāreṇa mahāpurīm, attālakaśatākīrnām patākādhvajamālinīm/ toraņaih kāñcanair divyair latāpanktivicitritaih, dadarśa hanumāmil lankām divi devapurīm iva/ girimūrdhni sthitām lankām pāndurair bhavanaih śubhaih, dadarśa sa kapih śrīmān puram ākāśagam yathā/ pālitām rākṣasendreṇa nirmitām viśvakarmanā, plavamānām ivākāśe dadarśa hanumān purīm/ sampūrnām rāksasair ghorair nāgair bhogavatīm iva, acintyām sukṛtām spastām kuberādhyusitām purā/ damstribhir bahubhih śūraih śūlapaṭṭiśapāṇibhiḥ, rakṣitām rākṣasair ghorair guhām āśīviṣair api/ vapraprākārajaghanām vipulāmbunavāmbarām, śataghnī śūlake śāntām attālakavatam sakām/ dvāram uttaram āsādva cintavām

āsa vānarah, kailāsaśikharaprakhyam ālikhantam ivāmbaram, dhriyamānam ivākāśam ucchritair bhavanottamaih/ tasyāś ca mahatīm guptim sāgaram ca nirīksya sah, rāvanam ca ripum ghoram cintayām āsa vānaraḥ/ āgatyāpīha harayo bhaviṣyanti nirarthakāḥ, na hi yuddhena vai laṅkā śakyā jetum surair api/imām tu viṣamām durgām lankām rāvaṇapālitām, prāpyāpi sa mahābāhuḥ kim kariṣyati rāghayah/ ayakāśo na sāntyasya rāksasesy abhigamyate, na dānasya na bhedasya naiya yuddhasya dṛśyate/ caturṇām eva hi gatir vānarāṇām mahātmanām, vāliputrasya nīlasya mama rājñaś ca dhīmataḥ/ yāvaj jānāmi vaidehīm yadi jīvati vā na vā, tatraiva cintayiṣyāmi dṛṣṭvā tām janakātmajām/ tataḥ sa cintayām āsa muhūrtam kapikuñjaraḥ, giriśrnge sthitas tasmin rāmasyābhyudaye ratah/ anena rūpena mayā na śakyā raksasām purī, pravestum rāksasair guptā krūrair balasamanvitaih/ugraujaso mahāvīryo balavantaś ca rāksasāh, vañcanīyā mayā sarve jānakīm parimārgitā/ laksyālaksyena rūpena rātrau laṅkā purī mayā, pravestum prāptakālam me krtyam sādhayitum mahat/ tām purīm tādrsīm drstvā durādharsām surāsuraih, hanūmām's cintayām āsa vinih'svasya muhur muhuh/ kenopāyena pasyeyam maithilīm janakātmajām, adṛṣṭo rākṣasendrena rāvaṇena durātmanā/ na vinaśyet kathaṁ kāryaṁ rāmasya viditātmanah, ekām ekaś ca paśvevam rahite janakātmajām/ bhūtāś cārtho vipadvante deśakālayirodhitāh, yiklayam dūtam āsādya tamah sūryodaye yathā/ arthānarthāntare buddhir niścitāpi na śobhate, ghātayanti hi kāryāṇi dūtāḥ paṇḍitamāninaḥ/ na vinaśyet kathaṁ kāryaṁ vaiklavyaṁ na katham bhavet, langhanam ca samudrasya katham nu na vṛthā bhavet/ mayi dṛṣṭe tu rakṣobhī rāmasya viditātmanah, bhaved vyartham idam kāryam rāvanānartham icchatah/ na hi śakyam kva cit sthātum avijñātena rāksasaih, api rāksasarūpena kim utānyena kena cit/ vāyur apy atra nājñātaś cared iti matir mama, na hy asty aviditam kim cid rākṣasānām balīyasām/ ihāham yadi tiṣṭhāmi svena rūpeṇa samvṛtah, vināśam upayāsyāmi bhartur arthaś ca hīyate/ tad aham svena rūpeņa rajanyām hrasvatām gataḥ, lankām abhipatisyāmi rāghavasyārthasiddhaye/ rāvanasya purīm rātrau pravisya sudurāsadām, vicinvan bhavanam sarvam draksyāmi janakātmajām/ iti samcintya hanumān sūryasyāstamayam kapih, ācakānkse tadā vīrā vaidehyā darśanotsukah, prsadamśakamātrah san babhūvādbhutadarśanah/ pradosakāle hanumāms tūrnam utpatya vīryavān, praviveśa purīm ramyām suvibhaktamahāpatham/ prāsādamālāvitatām stambhaih kāñcanarājataih, śātakumbhamayair jālair gandharvanagaropamām/ saptabhaumāstabhaumaiś ca sa dadarśa mahāpurīm, talaiḥ sphāṭikasampūrṇaiḥ kārtasvaravibhūṣitaiḥ/ vaidūryamanicitrais ca muktājālavibhūsitaih, talaih susubhire tāni bhavanāny atra raksasām/ kāñcanāni vicitrāni toranāni ca raksasām, lankām uddyotavām āsuh sarvatah samalamkrtām/ acintvām adbhutākārām dṛṣṭvā lankām mahākapiḥ, āsīd viṣaṇṇo hṛṣṭaś ca vaidehyā darśanotsukaḥ/ sa pāndurodviddhavimānamālinīm; mahārhajāmbūnadajālatoranām, vasasvinām rāvanabāhupālitām; kṣapācarair bhīmabalaiḥ samāvṛtām/ candro 'pi sācivyam ivāsya kurvams; tārāgaṇair madhyagato virājan, jyotsnāvitānena vitatya lokam; uttisthate naikasahasraraśmih/śankhaprabham ksīramṛnālavarnam; udgacchamānam vyavabhāsamānam, dadarśa candram sa kapipravīrah; poplūyamānam sarasīva hamsam/

Maha Veera Hanuman having ascended the mountain top witnessed the scenic grandeur of Lanka puri. Even after crossing the Maha Sagara sprawling a distance of hundred yojanas facing encounters on way, especially Mainaaka, Naagini Surasa and the latest Simhika Rakshasi, Veera Hanuman showed no signs of tiredness or heaving long breaths. On the other hand he seemed to have thought that crossing a mere hundred yojanas should be child's play. The Kapi shreshtha then saw the 'vriksha sampada' alike on the mountain top and more tellingly inside the Kingdom of Ravana. The broad range of the trees were of Sarala-Karnika-Khajura-Priyala-Muchulinda-Kutaja-Ketaka-Sugandha Priyangku, Ashoka, Kovida, Karaveera and so on dancing away by the speed of the winds as all with a range of fresh fruits of taste and flowers of fragrance. The 'jalaashayas' are repleted with hamsa-karandika and such other birds surrounded by seasonal fruits and roots. Gradually, Hanuman moved forward into the Lankapuri of Ravana inside with giant size Rakshasas wearing 'ayudhas'. The buildings are tall, well decorated, and full of citizens as the roads, streets and markets are wonderfully organised. pālitām rākṣasair ghorair nāgair bhogavatīm iva, acintyām sukṛtām spaṣṭām kuberādhyuṣitām purā/ damṣṭribhir bahubhiḥ śūraiḥ śūlapaṭṭiśapāṇibhiḥ, rakṣitām rākṣasair ghorair guhām āśīviṣair api/ Kapivara Hanuman flew around the

city by an areial view of grandeur and majesty admiring the skils of Vishvakarma as if the city was like an woman of rare beauty and figure. The surrounding walls, the central vedis and janasthali surrounded by the Sea with its jala raashis in the background look as if the beautiful the female was draped in a fluttering saree! Lankapuri was full of frightening rakshasas as though patala loka's bhogavati puri of Maha Nagas whose construction was peerless as it was visible to Hanuman. Further the city was like the Bilwa Swarga of Maha Nagas.Indeed, that was the erstwhile place of residence of Kubera the brother of Ravana.

[Vishleshanas on a) Bilwa Swarga of Maga Nagas b) Kubera

a) Renowned as Bilwa Swarga, the lokas underneath the Seas occupy as much an area as Prithvi; the span of Earth is seventy thousand yojanas, height too is as much. The expanse of Patalas too is as much; these lokas are Atala, Vitala, Nitala, Sutala, Talatala, Rasatala and Patalas and each of these lokas has an expanse of ten thousand yojanas. The colour of these lokas is black, white, yellow, red, grey and golden respectively. The inhabitants of these lokas are Daityas, Danvaas and Nagas. Having visited these lokas, Brahmarshi Narada called these Patalas as Bilwa Swarga and even better than Swarga. These lokas enjoy extreme illumination from the 'Manis' (diamonds) on the hoods of the Nagas; Narada said: the powerful rays of Surya Deva provide radiance but not heat during the days, while Chandra Deva gives brightness but not too much of coldness. The inhabitant serpents and Daityas revel in themselves with festivities and luxurious delicacies of food, wine and intoxication for long hours of time without concerns and worries. They enjoy good time by way of swims in Sarovaras, rivers and lotus-ponds and deal with all kinds of valuable possessions. Underneath these Lokas shines Bhagavan Vishnu's 'Tamoguna Rupa' as Sesha Naga named as Anantha, worshipped by Siddhas, Devatas, Devarshis and Daityas alike. Lying under the entire Universe, the mighty Sesha Deva bears the brunt of the Prithvi and the 'Charaachara Jagat'. (Brahmanada Purana)

b) Kubera: Vishrava was the father of Kubera. He married Kaikesi, the stepmother of Ravanasura,

Kumbhakarna, Vibhishana and Surpananakha. Ravana after acquiring a boon from Brahma Deva drove away Kubera and seized Pushpaka Vimana which Kubera recovered only after Ravana's death in Shri Rama's hands. Kubera was stated to have settled on Gandhamadana Mountain at Alkapuri, the city of Treasures and had a grove called Chaitraratha where the leaves were of jewels and the flowers and fruits were of celestial s and angels, besides a charming lake called Nalini. Kubera is stated to be the Chief of Ashta Diks or eight directions and Ashta Loka Palakas viz. Indra, Agni, Yama, Nirruti, Varuna, Vayu, Kubera and Ishana. Kubera, the King of Yakshas and Unparallelled Possessor of Gems and Jewels has two Shaktis Viriddhi and Riddhi as his spouses and his Generals Manibhadra, Purnabhadra, Maniman, Manikandhara, Manisvargi, Manibhushana and Manikar Muktadhari. There is an inresting reference about how Ganesha had overtaken Kubera's pride vide Ganesha Purana: By His very name, Vinayaka is a Jnaana Swarupa or the Symbol of Wisdom and Knowledge. Yet, any third party seeking to exhibit their own supremacy - especially by Devas, He could hardly stomach the false superiority. Lord Kubera the King of Yakshas once hosted a lavish feast and among other dignitaries called on Shiva and Parvati; the noblest couple responded that due to their preoccupations, they might have to regret but would ably deputise Lord Ganesha. At the scheduled time and day, all the Devas arrived and Ganesha too. Kubera was so happy as streams of Deva ganas were arriving at Alkapuri and felt proud of himself. Ganesha too arrived and showed off condescendingly remarking to other dignitaries nearby that Parvati Parameshvaras were busy and deputed Vinayaka instead. Then the dinner commenced with great pomp, while the invitees had thouroughly enjoyed the nine course dinner. Meanwhile however Ganesha whose appetite was unending made thousands of servers kept their beelines gasping and tottering the supply lines. As the three crore strong Deva Ganas were bemused witnessing the failure of lakhs of servers and cooks alike, Kubera was put to shame and ran to Parameshvara couple to Kailasha with a a fist ful cooked rice by way of his offering to the illustrious Universal Parents of Maha Deva and Maha Devi. Ganesha with dissatisfied appetite too was already present there with His parents.

The benign parents found a gasping Kubera running from Alkapuri to Kailasa cowed down and demoralised while prostrating Shiva- Parvati- and above all to Ganesha too.]

Further Stanzas onward of Sarga Two: tasyāś ca mahatīm guptim sāgaram ca nirīkṣya saḥ, rāvanam ca ripum ghoram cintayām āsa yānarah/ āgatyāpīha harayo bhayisyanti nirarthakāh, na hi yuddhena yai lankā śakyā jetum surair api/imām tu viṣamām durgām lankām rāvaṇapālitām, prāpyāpi sa mahābāhuḥ kim karisyati rāghavaļ/ As Hanuman witnessed the invincibility of the mighty Ravana's sovereignty of Lanka Puri as protected by all the sides by the Maha Samudra and his cruel rakshasa maha sena, he wondered as to what could the Vanara Sena, albeit huge in number but not by the might and cruelty of the Rakshasaas! This place indeed is therefore not a child's play and what could Rama do even! Of which avail would be the precepts of battle like Saama- Daana- Bhedaadi means in the case of Rakshasas! Anjaneya further introspected that perhaps only four Vaanara like Vaali Putra Angada, Neela, and Sugriva besides the self be of some resistance! Having thus ruminating, Hanuman then decided to ascertain about the most essential need for which he had arrived viz. 'Devi Sitanveshana', her safety and possibly his seeing and contacting her. Then he had seriously and intelligently cogitated: kenopāyena paśyeyam maithilīm janakātmajām, adrsto rākṣasendreṇa rāvaṇena durātmanā/ na vinaśyet katham kāryam rāmasya viditātmanah, ekām ekaś ca paśyeyam rahite janakātmajām/ bhūtāś cārtho vipadyante deśakālavirodhitāh, viklavam dūtam āsādya tamah sūryodaye yathā/ 'By which possible means that duratma Ravana's attention be least drawn and be able to secure Devi Sita's 'darshan', discreetly and secretly! Many a time, when caution is disregarded, the very purpose gets defeated and thus failure would have to be confronted. One should take all possible precautions well before plunge into action successfully; just as Sun Rise follows the darkness of nights. As a King having consulted with his ministers and ensures 'kartavyaakartavyas' or dos and don't's, and despatches a messenger, then the latter ought to be worthy of the responsibility and trust with intelligence and diligence. The labors put in for crossing the high Sea and encountering the tribulations on the way should never be spoilt by flippancies and carelessness. There should not be any eventually by which the close and minutely monitored attention of the guards of rakshasis around be slipped. na hi śakyam kva cit sthātum avijñātena rāksasaih, api rāksasarūpena kim utānvena kena cit/ vāvur apv atra nājñātaś cared iti matir mama, na hy astv aviditam kim cid rāksasānām balīvasām/ ihāham vadi tisthāmi svena rūpena samvrtah, vināsam upayāsyāmi bhartur arthaś ca hīyate/ Suppose I assume the form of a Raakshasi, then the maha maayaavi Rakshasis kept as guards would be instantly become aware of that possibility. My intention should therefore be to some how hide myself, dodge here and there, ensure that the Swami Karya be some how saved, wait till the day time be over and enter the interiors of Lanka with extreme caution in a miniature form. tad aham svena rūpena rajanyām hrasvatām gatah, lankām abhipatisyāmi rāghavasyārthasiddhaye/ rāvaṇasya purīm rātrau pravisya sudurāsadām, vicinvan bhavanam sarvam drakşyāmi janakātmajām/ Even as the entry of Ravana Puri is somewhat impossible, then in the course of the dead night enter and search for Devi Janaki. candro 'pi sācivyam ivāsya kurvams; tārāgaṇair madhyagato virājan, įvotsnāvitānena vitatva lokam; uttisthate naikasahasraraśmih/śaṅkhaprabham ksīramrnālavarnam; udgacchamānam vyavabhāsamānam, dadarsa candram sa kapipravīrah; poplūyamānam sarasīva hamsam/ At that time past the 'pradosha kaala', Chandra Deva arrives with his 'Taaraa ganas' with whose security and courtesy when swans cease to swim in the lotus ponds, Hanuman enters into the Ravana Puri.

Sargas Three and Four

As Hanuman sought to enter, Rakshasi Nishachari is encountered, he subdues her seriously; she recalls Brahma's warning that once a Vanara gives a hit to her, then Lanka gets its doom and lets him in! Then Hanuman enters Ravana's 'antahpura' comprising many palaces but gets disappointed.

Sa lambaśikhare lambe lambatoyadasamnibhe, sattvam āsthāya medhāvī hanumān mārutātmajaḥ/ niśi lankām mahāsattvo viveśa kapikuñjaraḥ, ramyakānanatoyāḍhyām purīm rāvaṇapālitām/

Sāradāmbudharaprakhyair bhavanair upaśobhitām, sāgaropamanirghosām sāgarānilasevitām/ supustabalasamguptām yathaiva vitapāvatīm, cārutorananiryūhām pānduradvāratoranām/ bhujagācaritām guptām śubhām bhogavatīm iva, tām savidyudghanākīrņām jyotirmārganisevitām/ caṇḍamārutanirhrādām yathendrasyāmarāvatīm, śātakumbhena mahatā prākāreṇābhisamvṛtām/ kinkinījālaghosābhih patākābhir alamkrtām, āsādva sahasā hrstah prākāram abhipedivān/ vismayāvistahṛdayaḥ purīm ālokya sarvataḥ, jāmbūnadamayair dvārair vaidūryakṛtavedikaiḥ/ manisphaţika muktābhir manikuţţimabhūşitaih, taptahāţakaniryūhai rājatāmalapānduraih/ vaidūrvatalasopānaih sphātikāntarapāmsubhih, cārusamjavanopetaih kham ivotpatitaih śubhaih/ krauñcabarhinasamghuste rājahamsanisevitaih, tūryābharananirghosaih sarvatah pratināditām/ vasvokasārāpratimām samīksva nagarīm tatah, kham ivotpatitām lankām jaharsa hanumān kapih/ tām samīksya purīm lankām rāksasādhipateh śubhām, anuttamām ṛddhiyutām cintayām āsa vīryayān/ neyam anyena nagarī śakyā dharsayitum balāt, raksitā rāvanabalair udyatāyudhadhāribhih/ kumudāngadayor vāpi suṣeṇasya mahākapeh, prasiddheyam bhaved bhūmir maindadvividayor api/ vivasvatas tanūjasya hareś ca kuśaparvanah, rksasya ketumālasya mama caiya gatir bhayet/ samīksya tu mahābāho rāghavasva parākramam, laksmanasva ca vikrāntam abhavat prītimān kapih/tām ratnavasanopetām koşthāgārāvatamsakām, yantrāgārastanīm ŗddhām pramadām iva bhūsitām/ tām nastatimirām dīpair bhāsvaraiś ca mahāgṛhaiḥ, nagarīm rākṣasendrasya dadarśa sa mahākapiḥ/ Atha saa harishardulam pravishantam Maha kapim, nagari svena rupena dadarshaa pavanaantajam/ Sataamharivaram drishtvaa Lankaam Rayana paalitaa, syayameyitthitaa tatra yikritaanana darshanaa/ Purastaat tasya yeerasya vaayusoonoratishthata, munchamaanaa mahaanaadamabraveet Pavanatmajam/ Kastvam kenacha karyena iha praaptonam vanaalaya,kathayasyeha yat tatvam yaavat praanaa dharanti te/ Nashakyam svalivyam Lankaa praveshtum vaanara tvayaa, rakshitaa Ravana balairabhi guptaa samantatah/ Atha taamarvareed veero Hanumaanagratah sthitaam kathaishyaamami tat tatvam yanmaam tvam paripucchhase/ Kaa tyam Virupanayanaa puradwaarevati tishthase, kimartham chaapi maam krodhaannibharsayati daarune/ Hanumadvachanam shrutvaa Lankaa saa kaamarupini, uvaacha vachavam kruddhha parusham Pavanaatmajam/ Aham Rakshasa Raajasya Ravanasya Mahatmanah, aagjnaa prateekshaa durdharsha rakshaami nagareemimaam/ Na shakyam maamavajnaaya praveshtum nagareemimaam, adya praanaih prityaktah syapasyase nihato mayaa/ Aham hi nagaree Lankaa svayameya playagama, sarvatah parirakshyaami ataste kathitaam mayaa/Lankaayaa vachanam shrutyaa Hanuman Maarutaatmajah, yatravaansa harishreshthah sthitah shaila ivaaparah/ Sa taam stree rupa vikritaam drishtavaa Vaanara pungavah, aababhaashtha madhaavee satvavaan plavagarshabhah/ Drikshyaami nagareem Lankaam saattuprakaara toranaam, ityasthamahi param koutuuhalam hi me/ Vanaanyupavanaaneeha Lankaayaam kananaanicha, sarvato gruhamukhyaani drishtamaaganam hi me/ Tasya vachanam shrutvaa Lankaasaa kamarupini, bhuya yeva punarvaakyam babhaashe parusha aksharam/ Maama nirjitya durbuddhhe raakshareshvara paalitam, na shakyam hyaadhya te drishtam pureeyam vanaraadhama/ Tatah kritvaa mahaa naadam saa vai Lankaa bhayankaram, talena Vaanarashreshtham taadayaamaas vegitaa/ Stree cheti manyamaanena naatikrodhah swamam kritah, saa tu tena prahaarena vihvalaangee nishaacharee, papaata sahasaa bhumou vikritaanana darshayaa/ Praseeda sumahaa baho traayasya harisattamah, samaye soumya tishthanti satyayaanto maha balaah/ Aham tu nagaree Lankaa satyameva plavanagamam/ Praseedsa sumahaa baaho traaasva harisattama, Samaya soumya tishthaanti satvavanto maha balaah/ Aham tu nagaree Lankaa swayameva playanagama, nirjitaaham tyayaa veera vikramena maha balaa/ Idam cha tatthyam shrunume bruvatyaayai bruvatyaa vai Harishvara, svayam svayambhuvaa datthham varadaanam yathaa mama/ Yadaa twaam Vaanarah kaschid vikramaad vashamaanayet, tadaa tvaa hi vijeyam rakshasaam bhayamaagatam/ Sahi samayah Saumya praabodya tava darshanaat, svayambhu vihitah satyona tasyaasti vyatikramah/ Sitaanimittam raajastu Ravanasya duraatmanah, rakshasaam chaiva sarveshaam vinaashah samupaagatah/ Tat pravishya harishrashtha pureem Raavana paalitaam, vidhvsatva sarva kaaryaani yaani yaaneeha vaancchasi/ Pravishya shaapopahataam hareeshwara pureem shubhaam raakshasa mukhya paalitaam/ Yadacchhayaa tvam Janaakaatmajaam sateem vimaarga sarvatra gate yathaa sukham/

As Hanuman in a miniature form sought to stealthily enter Lankapuri which is like the Bhoga Puri like Bilva swarga surrounded by countless poisonous snakes, had the close view of the city with awe inspiring looks. But then he appeared in his normal stature . Then a Vikaraali Rakshasi shouted at Veera Hanuman: Kastvam kenacha karyena iha praaptonam vanaalaya,kathayasveha yat tatvam yaavat praanaa dharanti te/ Nashakyam svalivyam Lankaa praveshtum vaanara tvayaa, rakshitaa Rayana balairabhi guptaa samantatah/ Vanara! Who are you and why are you here! As long as you are alive now, tell me as for which purpose you are here; tell to truth! Are you not aware that entry to Lankapuri is strictly forbidden except with my my permission! Hanuman had sternly shouted: 'Very arrogant you are; are you not! I may perhaps inform you why I am here; but who are you to interrogate me this way! Your looks are red with anger; but why! Can you not be polite!' Then Lankini replied: I am the trusted servant woman of King Ravana being the in charge of this gate for entry into Lanka. I feel like beating you so that you may rest in peace for good.' Then the ever intelligent Hanuman explained to Lankini that he wished to see and enjoy the grand spectacle of Lanka, its of green gardens, excellent buildings and so on, what else! After thus enjoying I would return away'. As Hanuman explained rather unconvincingly with affected innocence, Lankini shouted boisterously and gave a resounding slap to him. Tatah krityaa mahaa naadam saa vai Lankaa bhayankaram, talena Vaanarashreshtham taadayaamaas vegitaa/ Stree cheti manyamaanena naatikrodhah swamam kritah, saa tu tena prahaarena vihvalaangee nishaacharee, papaata sahasaa bhumou vikritaanana darshayaa/ Praseeda sumahaa baho traayasva harisattamah, samaye soumya tishthanti satvavaanto maha balaah/ Then Anjaneya extended his left hand, closed his fist and gave her a swooning hit. In fact having realised that Lankini was after all a stree, the hit was not that severe to death. The Nishaachari fell flat on the ground and then her face was distorted. Then Hanuman took pity on her yet sought to put an end to her irritating attitude. Then she had slowly recovered, stood up and slowly responded: Maha bali Vanara! Believe me I am the gatekeeper of the entry into Lankapuri. But I wish to confess something significant: *Idam cha tatthyam shrunume bruvatyaayai bruvatvaa vai Harishvara*, svayam svayambhuvaa datthham varadaanam yathaa mama/ Yadaa twaam Vaanarah kaschid vikramaad vashamaanayet, tadaa tyaa hi vijeyam rakshasaam bhayamaagatam/ Vanareshvara! I would now like to truthfully confess as Svayambhu Brahma Himself blessed and stated as follows: 'Whenever a Vanara would approach me and hit me with a strong slap down to earth and subdue me, then do realise that hard days would commence to Lankapuri! Maha Veera! By my interaction and altercation with you do herald the doom of Lanka and Maha Ravanasura! Soumya! With your 'darshan', Lord Brahma's statement gets vindicated right now! Sitaanimittam raajastu Ravanasya duraatmanah, rakshasaam chaiva sarveshaam vinaashah samupaagatah/ Tat pravishya harishrashtha pureem Raavana paalitaam, vidhvsatva sarva kaaryaani yaani yaaneeha vaancchasi/ Pravishya shaapopahataam hareeshwara pureem shubhaam raakshasa mukhya paalitaam/ Now only due to the cause of Devi Sita, the days of the arrogant and sinful Ravana's destruction along with his followers is round the corner. Kapi shrashtha! My best wishes now and do please enter Lankapuri now for good.

Sarga Four follows:

praviṣṭaḥ sattvasampanno niśāyām mārutātmajaḥ, sa mahāpatham āsthāya muktāpuṣpavirājitam/
hasitodghuṣṭaninadais tūryaghoṣa puraḥ saraiḥ, vajrānkuśanikāśaiś ca vajrajālavibhūṣitaiḥ,
grhamedhaiḥ purī ramyā babhāse dyaur ivāmbudaiḥ/ prajajvāla tadā lankā rakṣogaṇagrhaiḥ śubhaiḥ,
sitābhrasadrśaiś citraiḥ padmasvastikasamsthitaiḥ, vardhamānagrhaiś cāpi sarvataḥ suvibhāṣitaiḥ/
itramālyābharaṇām kapirājahitamkaraḥ, rāghavārtham carañ śrīmān dadarśa ca nananda ca/ śuśrāva
madhuram gītam tristhānasvarabhūṣitam, strīṇām madasamrddhānām divi cāpsarasām iva/ śuśrāva
kāñcīninādam nūpurāṇām ca niḥsvanam, sopānaninadāmś caiva bhavaneṣu mahātmanam,
āsphoṭitaninādāmś ca kṣveḍitāmś ca tatas tataḥ/ svādhyāya niratāmś caiva yātudhānān dadarśa saḥ,
rāvaṇastavasamyuktān garjato rākṣasān api/ rājamārgam samāvrtya sthitam rakṣobalam mahat, dadarśa
madhyame gulme rākṣasasya carān bahūn/ dīkṣitāñ jaṭilān muṇḍān
go'jināmbaravāsasaḥ/darbhamuṣṭipraharaṇān agnikuṇḍāyudhāms tathā, kūṭamudgarapāṇīmś ca
daṇḍāyudhadharān api, ekākṣānekakarṇāmś ca calallambapayodharān/ karālān bhugnavaktrāmś ca
vikatān vāmanāms tathā, dhanvinah khadginaś caiva śataghnī musalāyudhān, parighottamahastāmś ca

vicitrakavacojjvalān/ nātiṣṭhūlān nātikṛśān nātidīrghātihrasvakān, virūpān bahurūpāmś ca surūpāmś ca suvarcasaḥ/ śaktivṛkṣāyudhāmś caiva paṭṭiśāśanidhāriṇaḥ, kṣepaṇīpāśahastāmś ca dadarśa sa mahākapiḥ/ sragviṇas tv anuliptāmś ca varābharaṇabhūṣitān, tīkṣṇaśūladharāmś caiva vajriṇaś ca mahābalān/ śatasāhasram avyagram ārakṣam madhyamam kapiḥ, prākārāvṛtam atyantam dadarśa sa mahākapiḥ/ triviṣṭapanibham divyam divyanādavināditam, vājiheṣitasamghuṣṭam nāditam bhūṣaṇais tathā/ rathair yānair vimānaiś ca tathā gajahayaiḥ śubhaiḥ, vāraṇaiś ca caturdantaiḥ śvetābhranicayopamaiḥ/ bhūṣitam ruciradvāram mattaiś ca mṛgapakṣibhiḥ rākṣasādhipater guptam āviveśa gṛham kapiḥ/

Thus the 'Satva Guna Pradhaana' Pavana Putra Hanuman entered Lankapuri in the night. As the sky was enriched with white clouds, the houses of Rakshasaas of Lankapuri were silent; the houses were displaying Swasti symbols as also of the shapes, representing 'Vardhamaana Sangjna' or the representation of progress. The houses are with four entrances in four directions known as 'Sarvato bhadra' of Safe from all sides and are stated to bring in prosperity from all the directions! From the interiors of the homes were heard instrumental music sounds, sweet songs, and even 'swaadhyaaya' mantras of asuras. Some groups of Rakshasas were assembled on high road interjections, mainy extolling the glories the King Ravana, his family members and his close followers. rājamārgam samāvṛtya sthitam raksobalam mahat, dadarśa madhyame gulme rāksasasya carān bahūn/ dīksitāñ jatilān mundān go'jināmbaravāsasah/One might also norice quite a few 'Gupatacharaas' of Ravana or the King's Intelligence persons, some look having taken 'deeksha, some with beards and twisted hairs, some dressed in hides of cow or deer skins, some with hidden 'aayudhas' or weaponry, and some with open arms. Ekaakshaaneka varnaascha lambodarapayodharaan,karaalaan bhugnavaktrām's ca vikatān vāmanāms tathā/ dhanvinaḥ khaḍginaś caiva śataghnī musalāyudhān, parighottamahastāmś ca vicitrakavacojjvalān/ Some of the Rakshasaas are single eyed in their foreheads, and some with varied skin colours; some with their stomachs up to their chins and likewise of varied bodypart combinations. Some are too tall and some too short. Similarly their voices are of unusual sounds. nātisthūlān nātikrśān nātidīrghātihrasvakān, virūpān bahurūpāms ca surūpāms ca suvarcasaḥ/saktivṛkṣāyudhāms caiva pattiśāśanidhārinah, ksepanīpāśahastāmś ca dadarśa sa mahākapih/ Some 'nishaacharaas' are unusally fat, of short or too high and similarly their body complexions are queer and disgusting. Most of them were armed differently as per their body statures. śatasāhasram avyagram ārakṣam madhyamam kapiḥ, prākārāvrtam atvantam dadarśa sa mahākapih/ Hanuman estimated that over a lack of foot soldiers were guarding the center of Lanka with varied weaponry. Having thus noted the ever preparedness of the army of Ravana and the range of weaponry that the soldiers were well equipped with proceeded to Ravanasura's 'antahpura' for 'Sitaanveshana'.

Sarga Five

Hanuman then enters the 'antahpura' or the interior palaces of Ramanasura systematically but gets disappointed with no sign and indication of Devi Sita

Tataḥ sa madhyam gatam amśumantam jyotsnāvitānam mahad udvamantam,dadarśa dhīmān divi bhānumantam goṣṭhe vṛṣam mattam iva bhramantam/ lokasya pāpāni vināśayantam mahodadhim cāpi samedhayantam, bhūtāni sarvāṇi virājayantam dadarśa śītāmśum athābhiyāntam/ yā bhāti lakṣmīr bhuvi mandarasthā; tathā pradoṣeṣu ca sāgarasthā, tathaiva toyeṣu ca puṣkarasthā; rarāja sā cāruniśākarasthā/ hamso yathā rājatapañjurasthaḥ; simho yathā mandarakandarasthaḥ, vīro yathā garvitakuñjarasthaś; candro 'pi babhrāja tathāmbarasthaḥ/ sthitaḥ kakudmān iva tīkṣṇaśṛṅgo; mahācalaḥ śveta ivoccaśṛṅgaḥ, hastīva jāmbūnadabaddhaśṛṅgo; vibhāti candraḥ paripūrṇaśṛṅgaḥ/ prakāśacandrodayanaṣṭadoṣaḥ; pravṛddharakṣaḥ piśitāśadoṣaḥ, rāmābhirāmeritacittadoṣaḥ; svargaprakāśo bhagavān pradoṣaḥ/ tantrī svanāḥ karṇasukhāḥ pravṛttāḥ; svapanti nāryaḥ patibhiḥ suvṛttāḥ, naktamcarāś cāpi tathā pravṛttā; vihartum atyadbhutaraudravṛttāḥ/ mattapramattāni samākulāni; rathāśvabhadrāsanasamkulāni, vīraśriyā cāpi samākulāni; dadarśa dhīmān sa kapih kulāni/

parasparam cādhikam āksipanti; bhujāmś ca pīnān adhiviksipanti, mattapralāpān adhiviksipanti; mattāni cānyonyam adhikṣipanti/ rakṣāmsi vakṣāmsi ca vikṣipanti; gātrāṇi kāntāsu ca vikṣipanti, dadarśa kāntāś ca samālapanti; tathāparās tatra punah svapanti/ mahāgajaiś cāpi tathā nadadbhiḥ; sūpūjitaiś cāpi tathā susadbhiḥ, rarāja vīraiś ca viniḥśvasadbhir; hrado bhujangair iva niḥśvasadbhiḥ/ buddhipradhānān rucirābhidhānān; samsraddadhānāñ jagatah pradhānān, nānāvidhānān rucirābhidhānān; dadarśa tasyām puri yātudhānān/ nananda dṛṣṭvā sa ca tān surūpān; nānāguṇān ātmaguṇānurūpān, vidyotamānān sa ca tān surūpān; dadarśa kāmś cic ca punar virūpān/ tato varārhāḥ suviśuddhabhāvās; tesām strivas tatra mahānubhāvāh, privesu pānesu ca saktabhāvā; dadarśa tārā iva suprabhāvāh/śriyā jvalantīs trapayopagūdhā; niśīthakāle ramanopagūdhāh, dadarśa kāś cit pramadopagūdhā; yathā vihamgāḥ kusumopagūdāḥ/ anyāḥ punar harmyatalopaviṣṭās; tatra priyāṅkeṣu sukhopavistāh, bhartuh priyā dharmaparā nivistā; dadarša dhīmān manadābhivistāh/ aprāvṛtāh kāñcanarājivarṇāḥ; kāś cit parārdhyās tapanīyavarṇāḥ, punaś ca kāś cic chaśalakṣmavarṇāḥ; kāntaprahīnā rucirāngavarnāh/ tatah priyān prāpya mano'bhirāmān; suprītiyuktāh prasamīkṣya rāmāḥ, grheşu hrstāh paramābhirāmā; haripravīrah sa dadarša rāmāh/ candraprakāšāš ca hi vaktramālā; vakrāksipaksmāś ca sunetramālāh, vibhūsanānām ca dadarśa mālāh; śatahradānām iva cārumālāh/ na tv eva sītām paramābhijātām; pathi sthite rājakule prajātām, latām praphullām iva sādhujātām; dadarśa tanvīm manasābhijātām/ sanātane vartmani samnivistām; rāmekṣaṇīm tām madanābhivistām, bhartur manah śrīmad anupravistām; strībhyo varābhyaś ca sadā viśistām/ usnārditām sānusṛtāsrakanthīm; purā varārhottamaniskakanthīm, sujātapaksmām abhiraktakanthīm; vane pravṛttām iva nīlakanthīm/ avyaktalekhām iva candralekhām; pāmsupradigdhām iva hemalekhām, kṣataprarūḍhām iva bāṇalekhām; vāyuprabhinnām iva meghalekhām/ sītām apaśyan manujeśvarasya; rāmasya patnīm vadatām varasya, babhūva duhkhābhihataś cirasya; plavamgamo manda ivācirasya/

Hanuman seeking to enter Rayanaasura's 'antahpura' palaces at first witnessed the 'goshaala'. Then the coolness of Moon on the sky along the twinkling stars was prominent. The Rani vaasa strees were either engaged in 'pranaya kalahas' or busy with singing or instrumental music. Then 'Vanara prasiddhha' Hanuman witnessed that the male Vanaras were absorbed in 'madya paana' or drinking sessions. Some were witnessed to be busy with romance as the males and females were converesing 'sweet nothings'. Groups of youthful rakshasa females dressed up in their best were agitatedly exchanging views and news of their neighbours. Quite a few housewives were collected on the roof top 'verandaas' and were busy with conversations with their family members. anyāh punar harmyatalopavistās; tatra priyānkesu sukhopavistāh, bhartuh priyā dharmaparā nivistā; dadarśa dhīmān manadābhivistāh/ Some married women of middle ages who were virtuous and 'pativratas' were quietly spending conversations of their youthful experiences as also perhaps of the future of sons and daughters. tatah priyān prāpya mano'bhirāmān; suprītiyuktāḥ prasamīkṣya rāmāḥ, grheṣu hṛṣṭāḥ paramābhirāmā; haripravīraḥ sa dadarśa rāmāh/ Thus the happenings in the various house holds in the Ravana 'antahpura' palaces were seen keenly with sustained interest as the house holds were busy with varied views and experiences. But: na tv eva sītām paramābhijātām; pathi sthite rājakule prajātām, latām praphullām iva sādhujātām; dadarśa tanvīm manasābhijātām/ Kushaangi Devi Sita was not seen in the entire 'antahpura' of Ravanasuraa; indeed she was the product of sanatana dharma, Raja kula janita, parama aishvarya daayini, and parama pativrata! Hanuman was thus badly disappointed, as his extensive search proved futile. Thus kept ruminating as to where she could have been discovered, as there were definite indications that she was certainly in Lanka itself!

Sarga Six

<u>Hanuman then extended the scope of search for Devi Sita in Ravana's own palace, besides at the houses</u> of his follower Rakshasaas

Sa nikāmam vināmeṣu vicaran kāmarūpadhṛk, vicacāra kapir lankām lāghavena samanvitah/āsasādātha lakṣmīvān rākṣasendraniveśanam, prākāreṇārkavarṇena bhāsvareṇābhisamvṛtam/rakṣitam rākṣasair

bhīmaih simhair iva mahad vanam, samīksamāno bhavanam cakāśe kapikuñjarah/rūpyakopahitaiś citrais toranair hemabhūsitaih, vicitrābhiś ca kaksyābhir dvāraiś ca rucirair vrtam/ gajāsthitair mahāmātraih śūraiś ca vigataśramaih, upasthitam asamhāryair hayaih syandanayāyibhih/ simhavyāghratanutrāṇair dāntakāñcanarājataih, ghoṣavadbhir vicitrais ca sadā vicaritam rathaih/ bahuratnasamākīrnam parārdhvāsanabhājanam, mahārathasamāvāsam mahārathamahāsanam/ drśvaiś ca paramodārais tais tais ca mṛgapakṣibhiḥ, vividhair bahusāhasraiḥ paripūrṇam samantataḥ/ vinītair antapālaiś ca rakṣobhiś ca surakṣitam, mukhyābhiś ca varastrībhiḥ paripūrṇam samantataḥ/ muditapramadā ratnam rāksasendraniveśanam, varābharananirhrādaih samudrasvananihsvanam/ tad rājagunasampannam mukhyais ca varacandanaih, bherīmrdangābhirutam sankhaghosavināditam/ nityārcitam parvahutam pūjitam rāksasaih sadā, samudram iva gambhīram samudram iva nihsvanam/ mahātmāno mahad veśma mahāratnaparicchadam, mahājanasamākīrnam dadarśa sa mahākapih/ virājamānam vapusā gajāśvarathasamkulam, lankābharanam ity eva so 'manyata mahākapih/ gṛhād gṛham rākṣasānām udyānāni ca vānaraḥ, vīkṣamāṇo hy asamtrastaḥ prāsādāms ca cacāra saḥ/ avaplutya mahāvegah prahastasya niveśanam, tato 'nyat pupluve veśma mahāpārśvasya vīryavān/ atha meghapratīkāśam kumbhakarnaniveśanam, vibhīsanasya ca tathā pupluve sa mahākapih/ mahodarasya ca tathā virūpākṣasya caiva hi, vidyujjihvasya bhavanam vidyunmāles tathaiva ca, vajradamṣṭrasya ca tathā pupluve sa mahākapiḥ/ śukasya ca mahāvegaḥ sāraṇasya ca dhīmataḥ, tathā cendrajito veśma jagāma hariyūthapah/ jambumāleh sumāleś ca jagāma hariyūthapah, raśmiketoś ca bhavanam sūryaśatros tathaiva ca/dhūmrāksasya ca sampāter bhavanam mārutātmajah, vidyudrūpasya bhīmasya ghanasya vighanasya ca/ śukanābhasya vakrasya śathasya vikaṭasya ca,hrasvakarnasya damṣṭrasya romaśasya ca rakṣasaḥ/ yuddhonmattasya mattasya dhvajagrīvasya nādinaḥ, vidyujjihvendrajihvānām tathā hastimukhasya ca/ karālasya piśācasya śonitāksasya caiva hi, kramamānah kramenaiva hanūmān mārutātmajah/ tesu tesu mahārhesu bhavanesu mahāvaśāh, tesām rddhimatām rddhim dadarśa sa mahākapih/ sarvesām samatikramya bhavanāni samantatah, āsasādātha laksmīvān rāksasendra niveśanam/ rāvanasyopaśāyinyo dadarśa harisattamah, vicaran hariśārdūlo rāksasīr vikṛteksanāh/ sūlamudgarahastāś ca śakto tomaradhārinīh, dadarśa vividhān gulmāms tasya raksahpater grhe/ raktāñ śvetān sitām's caiva harīm's caiva mahājavān, kulīnān rūpasampannān gajān paragajārujān/ nisthitān gajaśikhāyām airāyatasamān yudhi, nihantrīn parasainyānām grhe tasmin dadarśa sah/ ksarataś ca yathā meghān sravataś ca vathā girīn, meghastanitanirghosān durdharsān samare paraih/ sahasram vāhinīs tatra jāmbūnadaparişkṛtāḥ, hemajālair avicchinnās taruṇādityasamnibhāḥ/ dadarśa rākṣasendrasya rāvanasya niveśane, śibikā vividhākārāh sa kapir mārutātmajah/ latāgrhāni citrāni citraśālāgrhāni ca, krīdāgrhāni cānyāni dāruparvatakān api/ kāmasya grhakam ramyam divāgrhakam eva ca, dadarśa rāksasendrasya rāvanasya niveśane/ sa mandaratalaprakhyam mayūrasthānasamkulam, dhvajayastibhir ākīrnam dadarśa bhavanottamam/ anantaratnanicayam nidhijālam samantatah, dhīranisthitakarmāntam gṛham bhūtapater iva/ arcirbhiś cāpi ratnānām tejasā rāvaṇasya ca, virarājātha tad veśma raśmimān iva raśmibhih/ jāmbūnadamayāny eva śayanāny āsanāni ca, bhājanāni ca śubhrāṇi dadarśa hariyūthapah/ madhvāsavakrtakledam manibhājanasamkulam, manoramam asambādham kuberabhavanam yathā/ nūpurānām ca ghosena kāñcīnām ninadena ca, mrdangatalaghosais ca ghosavadbhir vināditam/ prāsādasamghātavutam strīratnaśatasamkulam, suvvūdhakaksvam hanumān praviveša mahāgrham/

Bestowed with the ability of miniaturising and magnifying his physical form, Veera Hanuman had freely moved about in the homes of Lankapuri. Then he landed on the palace of King Ravana. Ravana's residence was a unique example of glitter and glare made of gold and silver, the nine gems of Diamonds, pearls, sapphires, corals, rubies, gomedha and vaidurya, besides huge ivory studded seats, tables and frames. Besides, an excellent pashu sampatti, staggering variety of birds, and flowers and fruits. The 'Asura Yuvatis' are ever contented with the pleasures of life with ornaments, body scents, affluence, are keep mutual comparisons and competitions making much noises in gatherings in gardens and private and public places of glitter and pomp against the overall background of the ever gushing noises of the Sea waves. 'Bheri, Shankha and Mridanga Naada' cadences add to the overall enthusiasm, especially on festivals when homa-puja-congregations are galore. The buzz of chariots, elephants, horses and streams of Ministers, Sena patis, Commanders, purohitas, select visitors by special invitations to the Ravaana's

palace is a normal routine. On gazing at the places, scenes and happenings at the Palace, the vega shaali and paraakrami Hanuman jumped down to Palace Corridors or the outer spread passages. atha meghapratīkāśam kumbhakarnaniveśanam, vibhīṣaṇasya ca tathā pupluve sa mahākapiḥ/ mahodarasya ca tathā virūpākṣasya caiva hi, vidyujjihvasya bhavanam vidyunmāles tathaiva ca, vajradamṣṭrasya ca tathā pupluve sa mahākapih/He then entered the Kumbhakarna and Vibhishana Mahals, besides the rows of Mahodara, Virupaksha, Vidyujihva and Vidyunmaali residences. Jumping from the residences to residents, Vegashali Maha Kapi Hanuman graced the living places of Vajradamshtra, Shuka, Buddhhimaan Sarana's residences. Then the Vaanara Yudhapati Kapishreshtha Mahanjaneya jumped over to the residences of Indrajit- on to Jambumaali and Sumaali. Hopping forward, the Maha Kapi peeped in to the homes of Dhumraksha-Sampaati-Vidyudrupa- Bheema-Ghana-Vighana-Shukanaadha-Chakra-Shatha-Kapata- Hrasvakarna-Damshtra-Lomasha-Yuddhhonmatta-Mattha-Dhvajagreeva-Vidhyjjihva-Dvijahva-Hastimukha-Karaala- Pishaacha-Shonitaaksha and so on. That was how Veeranjaneya hopped and skipped the prosperous residences of the prominent Rakshasa Veeras. rāvaņasyopaśāyinyo dadarśa harisattamah, vicaran hariśārdūlo rākṣasīr vikṛtekṣaṇāh/ sūlamudgara hastāś ca śakto tomaradhārinīh, dadarśa vividhān gulmāms tasva raksahpater grhe/Skipping and hopping Vaanara Shiromani Anjaneya then approached the very Living Interior of Ravana's actual chamber and witnessed the gate protecting groups of Maayaavi Rakshasas with grotesque eyes and stealthily looks armed with 'shula-mudgara-shakti-tomaar- and such other astra-shastras.' Besides, the Maha Rakshasaas are swift and ever-ready for instant action with well trained horsemen and horses. There along side, superior and well draped 'gaja raajaas' making periodical 'megha garjanas' mounted by ever alert and well equipped elephant riders seated under huge and colourful umbrellas are quick witted and able. Veera Hanuman stared and was thoroughly impressed at the gatekepers of Rayana and their instasnt action of defence and offence. Then having peeped inside in the minutest form, Pavanaputra Anjaneya witnessed seating and relaxing cushioned furniture, creeper homes, photo galleries, kreeda bhayanas, and luxury exravagances. sa mandaratalaprakhyam mayūrasthānasamkulam, dhyajayastibhir ākīrnam dadarśa bhavanottamam/ anantaratnanicayam nidhijālam samantatah, dhīranisthitakarmāntam grham bhūtapater iva/ He was amazed to vision 'Ravana Mahal' of the height of Mandaraachala, equipped with corners where colourful peacocks dance away by spreading their wings of flashing colors, speards of high dhajas of glittering preacious stone studs, and such feasts of colours of 'Indra Dhanush of Vibgyor- [violet-indigo-blue-green-yellow-orange-and red] was akin to 'Bhutanaaddha Bhavan' or of the kind of Maheshwara or Kubera. Hanuman had thus entered the interior most of Rayana's, partly out of curiosity but most essentially for 'Devi Sitanveshana'!

Sargas Seven and Eight

<u>Description of Ravana Bhavana viz. Pushpaka Vimana- Hanuman witnesses the inside out of the Pushpaka Vimana- indeed it was surfiet with Sundara Kanyas</u>

Sa veśmajālam balavān dadarśa; vyāsaktavaidūryasuvarņajālam,yathā mahat prāvṛṣi meghajālam; vidyutpinaddham savihamgajālam/ niveśanānām vividhāś ca śālāḥ; pradhānaśankhāyudhacāpaśālāḥ, manoharāś cāpi punar viśālā; dadarśa veśmādriṣu candraśālāḥ/ grhāṇi nānāvasurājitāni; devāsuraiś cāpi supūjitāni, sarvaiś ca doṣaiḥ parivarjitāni; kapir dadarśa svabalārjitāni/ tāni prayatnābhi - samāhitāni; mayena sākṣād iva nirmitāni, mahītale sarvaguṇottarāṇi; dadarśa lankādhipater grhāṇi/ tato dadarśocchritamegharūpam; manoharam kāñcanacārurūpam, rakṣo'dhipasyātmabalānurūpam; grhottamam hy apratirūparūpam/ mahītale svargam iva prakīrṇam; śriyā jvalantam bahuratnakīrṇam, nānātarūṇām kusumāvakīrṇam; girer ivāgram rajasāvakīrṇam/ nārīpravekair iva dīpyamānam; taḍidbhir ambhodavad arcyamānam, hamsapravekair iva vāhyamānam; śriyā yutam khe sukṛtām vimānam/ yathā nagāgram bahudhātucitram; yathā nabhaś ca grahacandracitram, dadarśa yuktīkṛtameghacitram; vimānaratnam bahuratnacitram/ mahī kṛtā parvatarājipūrṇā; śailāḥ kṛtā vṛkṣavitānapūrṇāḥ, vṛkṣāḥ kṛtāḥ puṣpavitānapūrṇāḥ; puṣpam kṛtam kesarapatrapūrṇam/ kṛtāni veśmāni ca pāṇḍurāṇi; tathā supuṣpā api puṣkariṇyaḥ, punaś ca padmāni sakesarāṇi; dhanyāni citrāṇi tathā vanāni/ puṣpāhvayam

nāma virājamānam; ratnaprabhābhiś ca vivardhamānam, veśmottamānām api coccamānam; mahākapis tatra mahāvimānam/ krtāś ca vaidūryamayā vihamgā; rūpyapravālaiś ca tathā vihamgāḥ, citrāś ca nānāvasubhir bhujamgā; jātyānurūpās turagāḥ śubhāngāḥ/ pravālajāmbūnadapuṣpapakṣāḥ; salīlam āvarjitajihmapakṣāḥ, kāmasya sākṣād iva bhānti pakṣāḥ; krtā vihamgāḥ sumukhāḥ supakṣāḥ/ niyujyamānāś ca gajāḥ suhastāḥ; sakesarāś cotpalapatrahastāḥ, babhūva devī ca krtā suhastā; lakṣmīs tathā padmini padmahastā/itīva tad grham abhigamya śobhanam; savismayo nagam iva cāruśobhanam, punaś ca tat paramasugandhi sundaram; himātyaye nagam iva cārukandaram/ tataḥ sa tām kapir abhipatya pūjitām; caran purīm daśamukhabāhupālitām, adṛśya tām janakasutām supūjitām; suduḥkhitām patiguṇaveganirjitām/ tatas tadā bahuvidhabhāvitātmanaḥ; krtātmano janakasutām suvartmanaḥ, apaśyato 'bhavad atiduḥkhitam manaḥ; sucakṣuṣaḥ pravicarato mahātmanaḥ/

Balavaan Veera Hanuman then entered the Pushpaka Vimana of Ravana with glittering windows of gold, outside of which were the singing birds there around. grhāṇi nānāvasurājitāni; devāsuraiś cāpi supūjitāni, sarvais ca dosaih parivarjitāni; kapir dadarsa svabalārjitāni/ tāni pravatnābhi -samāhitāni; mavena sāksād iva nirmitāni, mahītale sarvagunottarāni; dadarśa lankādhipater grhāni/ Hanuman thus had the distinction of visioning Pushpaka Vimana as built with unparalleled mix of diamonds and priceless other nine gems of the Lord's own creation as inspired by Maya Danava himself being the outstanding on the totality of Earth! He perched up as it was like on the high clouds with midboggling looks as it it were a 'bhutala swarga' with unusual grandeur. This celestial 'vimana' was like what was adored by a series of lightning garlands with the glitter of diamonds. Just as the clouds enriched by the 'Parvata shikhara dhaatu sampada', besides the causation of planets and of the Moon, the Pushpaka Vimana of Lanka was like what resembles on the high skies being unique in bhutala srishti as up on the celestial zones. In side the Pushpaka vimana, there were 'sveta bhavanas' or high pure white palaces with built in 'sarovaras' and the ever floating lotus ponds. puspāhvayam nāma virājamānam; ratnaprabhābhiś ca vivardhamānam, veśmottamānām api coccamānam; mahākapis tatra mahāvimānam/That precisely what Hanuman saw for himself and alighted into being the world renowned Pushpaka Vimana, which by vitrue of the immortal 'mani ratnas' as studded into has the facility of getting air borne, and is very well respected by celestial beings too, despite the reality of stationed right on earth in Rayana's Lanka of glory. pravālajāmbūnadapuspapakṣāḥ; salīlam āvarjitajihmapakṣāḥ, kāmasya sākṣād iva bhānti pakṣāḥ; kṛtā vihamgāḥ sumukhāḥ supakṣāḥ/ niyujyamānāś ca gajāḥ suhastāḥ; sakesarāś cotpalapatrahastāḥ, babhūva devī ca krtā suhastā; laksmīs tathā padmini padmahastā/itīva tad grham abhigamya śobhanam; savismayo nagam iva cāruśobhanam, punaś ca tat paramasugandhi sundaram; himātyaye nagam iva cārukandaram/ This Pushpaka Vimana meant for 'vihanga yatras' or airborne travels appears as piloted by Kama Deva Manmatha himself, with wings made of the glitter of gold and diamonds and other gems. The built in sarovaras of the Pushpaka Vimana are such that the freely moving elephant kings are ever ready and commissioned with the sacred duty of preforming abhisheka to Maha Lakshmi herself assuming the ready form of Gaja Lakshmi as Her hands are adorned by fresh and fragrant lotuses!

[Vishleshana on Maha Lakshmi's Ashta Swarupas:

Sumanasa vandita Sundari Maadhavi Chandra sahodari hemamaye, Muniganavandita moksha pradaayani manjula bhaashini Veda nute/ Pankajavaasini Deva supujita sadguna varshini Shaanti yute, Jaya Jay hey Madhusudana kaamini Adi Lakshmi sadaapaalaya maam/ Ayi kalikalmashanaashani Kaamini Vaidika Rupini Vedamaye, kshaara samudbhava Mangala Rupini Mantra vaasini Mantranute/ Mangala daayini Ambujavaasidi Devaganaashrita paadayute, Jajajaya he Madhusudanakaamini Dhaanya Lakshmi sadaa paalayamaam/ Jayavaravarnini Vaishnavi Bhargavi Mantra swarupini Mantramaye, Suragana pujita sheeghra phalaprada jnaana vikaasini Shaastranute/ Bhava bhaya haarini Paapavimochani saadhu janaashrita paadayute, Jaya jaya he Madhusudana kaamini Dhairya Lakshmi sadaa paalaya maam/ Jaya Jaya durgati naashani Kaamini sarva phalaprada Shaastramaye, Radha Gaja Turuga Padaati samaavrita Parijana mandita Loka nute/ Hari Hara Brahma supujita sevita taapa nivaarana paadayute, Jaya Jaya hey Madhusudana kaamini, Gaja Lakshmi rupena paalayamaam/ Ayi

Khaga vaahani Mohini Chakrini raaga vivardhini Jnaanamaye, Gunagana Vaaridhi Loka hitaishini swara sapta bhushita gaana nute/ Sakala Suraasura Deva Muneeswara Maanavavandita paada yute, Jaya Jaya he Madhusudana kaamini Santaana Lakshmi sadaa paalayamaam/ Jaya Kamalaasani sadgatidaayini Jnaana vikaasini gaana maye, Anudinamarchita kumkuma dhusara bhushita vaasita vaadyanute/ Kanaka dhaaraa stuti vaibhava vandita Shankara deshika maanya pade, Jaya Jaya hey Madhusudana kaamini, Vijaya Lakshmi sadaa paalaya maam/ Preeta Sureswari Bharati Bhargavi shoka vinaashani Ratna maye, Manimaya bhushita karna vibhushana kaanti samaavrita haasa mukhe/ Nava nidhidaayani kalimala haarini kaamita phalaprada hastayute, Jaya Jaya hey Madhusudana kaamini Vidya Lakshmi sadaa paalaya maam/ Dhimi dhimi dhindhimi dhindhimi dundhubhi naada supurnamaye, Ghuma ghuma ghinghuma Shankha ninaada suvaadyanute/ Veda Puranetihaasa supujita Vaidika maarga pradarsha -yute, Jaya Jaya hey Madhusudana Kaamini Dhana Lakshmi rupena paalayamaam/]

Sarga Seven continues:

tataḥ sa tām kapir abhipatya pūjitām; caran purīm daśamukhabāhupālitām, adṛśya tām janakasutām supūjitām; suduḥkhitām patiguṇaveganirjitām/ tatas tadā bahuvidhabhāvitātmanaḥ; kṛtātmano janakasutām suvartmanaḥ, apaśyato 'bhavad atiduḥkhitam manaḥ; sucakṣuṣaḥ pravicarato mahātmanaḥ/ Having thus seen the name and fame of Ravana and his glories evenb including his possession of the Pushpaka Vimana had switched back to the very purpose for which he had arrived at Lanka and got agitated again. Veera Hanuman who indeed was the true symbol of 'Paramaartha Chintana' and of pure heartedness retrospected once again as to where indeed be Devi Sita right now!

Essence of Sarga Eight begins:

Veera Hanuman thus realizing the glamor and glory of the Pushpaka Vimana had revisited it once again with a view to appreciate its detailed wokmanship of Mayaasura. Was it Ravanasura who had in the past performed deep tapasya with singlemindedness and then only could secure the authority to possess it, wondered Hanuman. Indeed the reality of the construction was no doubt a gifted perseverance of the producer but equally so was the unique fact of obtaining its ownership. Thus the tributes are readily applicable to its creator and equally so to the owner Manah samaadhaaya tu sheeghra gaaminam duraasadam maarutatulyagaaminam, mahaatmaanam punya kritaam mahardhinaam yashasvinaam agrayamudaamivaalayam/ This Pushpaka follows the thoughts of the user as per its inner thoughts of the owner be it in terms of its speed and direction. This ownership could be possible only the maha tapasvis, and punyakaari mahatmaas. In the past before Ravana succeeded to secure its ownership, that was always in the domain and control of 'Mahadananda Praapti Tapasvis' and Mahatmaas.

Sarga Nine

In the process of 'Devi Sitaanveshana' in the Pushpaka Vimana of Ravana's residence, Hanuman witnessed countless 'strees' of youthful charm being playful inside; but wondered as to why had Ravana forcefully abducted Sita, despite his reputation of never forcing a woman but willingly married him!

Tasyālayavariṣṭhasya madhye vipulam āyatam, dadarśa bhavanaśreṣṭham hanūmān mārutātmajaḥ/ardhayojanavistīrṇam āyatam yojanam hi tat, bhavanam rākṣasendrasya bahuprāsādasamkulam/mārgamāṇas tu vaidehīm sītām āyatalocanām, sarvataḥ paricakrāma hanūmān arisūdanaḥ/caturviṣāṇair dviradais triviṣāṇais tathaiva ca, parikṣiptam asambādham rakṣyamāṇam udāyudhaiḥ/rākṣasībhiś ca patnībhī rāvaṇasya niveśanam, āhṛtābhiś ca vikramya rājakanyābhir āvṛtam/tan nakramakarākīrṇam timimgilajhaṣākulam, vāyuvegasamādhūtam pannagair iva sāgaram/yā hi vaiśvaraṇe lakṣmīr yā cendre harivāhane, sā rāvaṇagṛhe sarvā nityam evānapāyinī/yā ca rājñaḥ kuberasya yamasya varuṇasya ca,tādṛśī tad viśiṣṭā vā ṛddhī rakṣo gṛheṣv iha/tasya harmyasya madhyastham veśma cānyat sunirmitam, bahuniryūha samkīrṇam dadarśa pavanātmajaḥ/brahmaṇo

rthe krtam divyam divi yad viśvakarmanā, vimānam puspakam nāma sarvaratnavibhūsitam/ parena' tapasā lebhe yat kuberah pitāmahāt, kuberam ojasā jitvā lebhe tad rāksaseśvarah/īhā mrgasamāyuktaih kāryasvarahiraņmayaiḥ, sukṛtair ācitam stambhaiḥ pradīptam iva ca śriyā/ merumandarasamkāśair ullikhadbhir ivāmbaram, kūṭāgāraiḥ śubhākāraiḥ sarvataḥ samalamkṛtam/ jvalanārkapratīkāśam sukrtam viśvakarmanā, hemasopānasamvuktam cārupravaravedikam/ jālavātāvanair vuktam kāñcanaih sthātikair api, indranīlamahānīlamaṇipravaravedikam,vimānam puṣpakam divyam āruroha mahākapiḥ/ tatrasthah sa tadā gandham pānabhakṣyānnasambhavam, divyam sammūrchitam jighran rūpavantam ivānilam/ sa gandhas tam mahāsattvam bandhur bandhum ivottamam,ita ehīty uvāceva tatra vatra sa rāvanah/ tatas tām prasthitah śālām dadarśa mahatīm śubhām, rāvanasya manahkāntām kāntām iva varastriyam/ manisopānavikṛtām hemajālavirājitām, sphātikair āvṛtatalām dantāntaritarūpikām/ muktābhiś ca pravālaiś ca rūpyacāmīkarair api, vibhūsitām manistambhaih subahustambhabhūsitām/ samair rjubhir atyuccaih samantāt suvibhūsitaih, stambhaih paksair ivātyuccair divam samprasthitām iva/ mahatyā kuthayāstrīṇam pṛthivīlakṣaṇānkayā, pṛthivīm iva vistīrṇām sarāṣṭragṛhamālinīm/ nāditām mattavihagair divyagandhādhivāsitām, parārdhyāstaraņopetām rakso'dhipanisevitām/dhūmrām agarudhūpena vimalām hamsapāndurām, citrām puspopahārena kalmāsīm iva suprabhām/ manaḥsamhlādajananīm varṇasyāpi prasādinīm, tām śokanāśinīm divyām śriyaḥ samjananīm iva/ indriyāṇīndriyārthais tu pañca pañcabhir uttamaiḥ, tarpayām āsa māteva tadā rāvaṇapālitā/svargo 'yam devaloko 'yam indrasyeyam purī bhavet, siddhir veyam parā hi syād ity amanyata mārutih/ pradhyāyata ivāpasyat pradīpāms tatra kāñcanān, dhūrtān iva mahādhūrtair devanena parājitān/ dīpānām ca prakāśena tejasā rāvanasya ca, arcirbhir bhūṣaṇānām ca pradīptety abhyamanyata/ tato 'paśyat kuthāsīnam nānāvarṇāmbarasrajam, sahasram varanārīnām nānāveṣavibhūṣitam/ parivṛtte rdharātre tu pānanidrāvaśam gatam, krīditvoparatam rātrau susvāpa balavat tadā/ tat prasuptam' viruruce nihśabdāntarabhūsanam, nihśabdahamsabhramaram yathā padmavanam mahat/ tāsām samvrtadantāni mīlitāksāni mārutih, apasyat padmagandhīni vadanāni suyositām/ prabuddhānīva padmāni tāsām bhūtvā ksapāksaye, punahsamvṛtapatrāni rātrāv iva babhus tadā/ imāni mukhapadmāni niyatam mattaşatpadāḥ, ambujānīva phullāni prārthayanti punaḥ punaḥ/ iti vāmanyata śrīmān upapattyā mahākapiḥ, mene hi guṇatas tāni samāni salilodbhavaiḥ/ sā tasya śuśubhe śālā tābhiḥ strībhir virājitā śāradīva prasannā dvaus tārābhir abhiśobhitā/ sa ca tābhih parivrtah śuśubhe rāksasādhipah, vathā hv udupatih śrīmāms tārābhir abhisamvrtah/ vāś cvavante 'mbarāt tārāh punvaśesasamāvrtāh, imās tāh samgatāḥ krtsnā iti mene haris tadā/ tārāṇām iva suvyaktam mahatīnām śubhārciṣām, prabhāvarnaprasādāś ca virejus tatra yositām/ vyāvrttagurupīnasrakprakīrnavarabhūsanāh, pānavyāyāmakālesu nidrāpahrtacetasah/ vyāvrttatilakāh kāś cit kāś cid udbhrāntanūpurāh, pārśve galitahārāś ca kāś cit paramayositah/ mukhā hāravrtāś cānyāh kāś cit prasrastavāsasah, vyāviddharaśanā dāmāh kiśorya iva vāhitāh/ sukundaladharāś cānyā vicchinnamṛditasrajah, gajendramrditāh phullā latā iva mahāvane/ candrāmśukiraṇābhāś ca hārāḥ kāsām cid utkaṭāḥ, hamsā iva babhuḥ suptāḥ stanamadhyeṣu yoṣitām/ aparāsām ca vaidūryāḥ kādambā iva pakṣiṇaḥ, hemasūtrāṇi cānyāsām cakravākā ivābhavan/ hamsa -kārandavākīrnās cakravākopasobhitāh, āpagā iva tā rejur jaghanaih pulinair iva/ kiṅkinījālasaṁkāśās tā hemavipulāmbujāh, bhāvagrāhā vaśastīrāh suptā nadva ivābabhuh/ mrdusv angesu kāsām cit kucāgresu ca samsthitāh, babhūvur bhūsanānīva śubhā bhūṣaṇarājayaḥ/ aṁśukāntāś ca kāsāṁ cin mukhamārutakampitāḥ, upary upari vaktrāṇāṁ vyādhūyante punah punah/ tāh pātākā ivoddhūtāh patnīnām ruciraprabhāh, nānāvarnasuvarnānām vaktramūlesu rejire/ vavalguś cātra kāsām cit kundalāni śubhārcisām, mukhamārutasamsargān mandam mandam suyositām/ śarkarāsavagandhah sa prakṛtyā surabhih sukhah, tāsām vadananihśvāsah siseve rāvanam tadā/ rāvaṇānanaśankāś ca kāś cid rāvaṇayoṣitaḥ, mukhāni sma sapatnīnām upājighran punaḥ/ atyartham saktamanaso rāvaņe tā varastriyah, asvatantrāh sapatnīnām priyam evācarams tadā/bāhūn upanidhāyānyāḥ pārihārya vibhūṣitāḥ, amśukāni ca ramyāṇi pramadās tatra śiśyire, anyā vakṣasi cānyasyās tasyāḥ kā cit punar bhujam, aparā tv ankam anyasyās tasyāś cāpy aparā bhujau/ ūrupārśvakatīprstham anyonyasya samāśritāh, parasparanivistāngyo madasnehavaśānugāh/ anyonyasyāngasamsparśāt prīyamānāh sumadhyamāh, ekīkṛtabhujāh sarvāh susupus tatra yositah/ anyonyabhujasūtrena strīmālāgrathitā hi sā,māleva grathitā sūtre śuśubhe mattaṣatpadā/ latānām mādhave māsi phullānām vāvusevanāt, anvonvamālāgrathitam samsaktakusumoccavam/

vyativeṣṭitasuskantham anyonyabhramarākulam, āsīd vanam ivoddhūtam strīvanam rāvaṇasya tat/
uciteṣv api suvyaktam na tāsām yoṣitām tadā, vivekaḥ śakya ādhātum bhūṣaṇāngāmbarasrajām/ rāvaṇe
sukhasamviṣṭe tāḥ striyo vividhaprabhāḥ, jvalantaḥ kāñcanā dīpāḥ prekṣantānimiṣā iva/
rājarṣipitrdaityānām gandharvāṇām ca yoṣitaḥ, rakṣasām cābhavan kanyās tasya kāmavaśam gatāḥ/ na
tatra kā cit pramadā prasahya; vīryopapannena guṇena labdhā, na cānyakāmāpi na cānyapūrvā; vinā
varārhām janakātmajām tu/ na cākulīnā na ca hīnarūpā; nādakṣiṇā nānupacāra yuktā, bhāryābhavat
tasya na hīnasattvā; na cāpi kāntasya na kāmanīyā/ babhūva buddhis tu harīśvarasya; yadīdṛśī
rāghavadharmapatnī, imā yathā rākṣasarājabhāryāḥ; sujātam asyeti hi sādhubuddheḥ/ punaś ca so
'cintayad ārtarūpo; dhruvam viśiṣṭā guṇato hi sītā, athāyam asyām kṛtavān mahātmā; laṅkeśvaraḥ
kaṣṭam anāryakarma/

Having affirmed that only Maha Tapasvis could have accomplished the ownership of the Pushpaka Vimana, Hanuman realised that its length was as much as hundred yojanas, while its breadth would be one half of it. mārgamāṇas tu vaidehīm sītām āyatalocanām, sarvataḥ paricakrāma hanūmān arisūdanah/ caturvisānair dviradais trivisānais tathaiva ca, pariksiptam asambādham raksvamānam udāyudhaih/ While thus keenly observing the details of the 'maha bhavana' of the Pushpaka, Hanuman was searching even a suspicion, let alone a hint, of Devi Sita's whereabouts. As thus he was searching, he realised that Rayana's own interior most 'nija sthaana' or his very place of living. That actual place of his residing was full of his own raja kanyas or royal damsels just as in the case of the interiors of Kubera, Chandra or Indra residing there with comfort and confidence. brahmano 'rthe kṛtam divyam divi yad viśvakarmaṇā, vimānam puṣpakam nāma sarvaratnavibhūṣitam/ pareṇa tapasā lebhe yat kuberaḥ pitāmahāt, kuberam ojasā jitvā lebhe tad rākṣaseśvaraḥ/ Pavan Kumara then realised that Vishvakarma had originally manifested this Pushpaka Vimana for Brahma. This was obtained by Kubera by means of rigorous and long tapasya but Ravanaasura defeated Kubera and thus was seized from his cousin brother. In the course of his further movements of the Pushpaka, Hanuman was seated for a while: tatrasthah sa tadā gandham pānabhaksyānnasambhayam, divyam sammūrchitam jighran rūpavantam ivānilam/ sa gandhas tam mahāsattvam bandhur bandhum ivottamam, ita ehīty uvāceva tatra yatra sa rāvanah/There was a wide spread of of bakshva-bhojya-paaneevas. Later, a damsel appeared to have signalled a direction where Rayana was to be seated. That was pointed out as a 'haveli' mansion or a meeting hall, which was immensely liked by Ravana. Patrapushpopahaarena kalmaasheemiva suprabham, manaso modajananeem varnasyaapi prasaadhinaam/ That was the earlier mansion of Ravana where all the wishes of the select invities were fulfilled by Ravana just as Maharshi Vasishta fulfilled the Kama dhenu famed as Shabala.

[Vishleshana on Maharshi Vasishtha and Kama Dhenu Shabala:

Maharshi Vasishtha welcomed King Vishvamitra and formaly offered fresh fruits and ground grown tubular vegetables and enquired of the happiness and general welfare of his subjects. Similarly the King enquired of the welfare of the Sage, and the inmates of the ashram. Then Vasishtha smilingly stated: ātithyam kartum icchāmi balasyāsya mahābala, tava caivāprameyasya yathārham sampratīccha me/satkriyām tu bhavān etām pratīcchatu mayodyatām, rājams tvam atithiśreṣṭhaḥ pūjanīyaḥ prayatnataḥ/Maharaja! May I offer appropriate lunch to you and your several follower armymen, as my duty is to provide 'atithya' as behoved of a King and followers. The King responded stating that the honours as from an ashram have been more than fulfilled already; more so it was time for his departure. But as the host insisted the King replied: bāḍham ity eva gādheyo vasiṣṭham pratyuvāca ha, yathā priyam bhagavatas tathāstu munisattama/ King Vishvamitra as per the insistence of Vasishtha Muni replied that he ought to obey the instruction of Maharshi Vasishtha. Then Vasishtha asked his 'mind born homa dhenu' named Shabali the celestial cow and requested that she might provide such food as would behove of a famed King and his countless followers. yasya yasya yathākāmam ṣaḍraseṣv abhipūjitam, tat sarvam kāmadhug divye abhivarṣakṛte mama/ rasenānnena pānena lehyacoṣyeṇa saṃyutam, annānām nicayam sarvam srjasva śabale tvara/ 'Divya Kamadhenu'! entreated Vasishtha, ' please get ready with 'shadrasa

bhojana' of 'bhakshya-bhojya- lehya-choshya-paaneeya paramaannas' at the earliest!-- As Maharshi Vasishtha thus served excellent food to the King along with his entire army and retinue of queens and others too to their complete contentment, King Vishvamitra addressed Maharshi Vasishtha! gavām śatasahasrena dīyatām śabalā mama, ratnam hi bhagavann etad ratnahārī ca pārthivah, tasmān me śabalām dehi mamaisā dharmato dvija/ Maharshi! Do accept the charity from my kingdom about a lakh of prize cows yielding barrels of fresh and sweet milk due to my being the overall king of my subjects. It is out of the same authority of my being the King of this kingdom again, let me exchange Shabala as per the established principle of kingship. Vasishtha replied: Just as a dharmika parayana could never be severed from his inner consciousness, I too could never be aloof from me since my 'havya-kavya kaaryas' in my daily routine would certainly get affected severely. My routine of agnihotra-bali-homa- swaahavashatkaara and all the practice of related vidyas should get adversely disturbed too in her absence. In short, my very existence is my possession of Shabala. King Vishvamitra then offered fourteen thousand elephants, eight hundred golden chariots each of which adorned with four each of mighty horses of excellent nativity, in addition to which eleven thousand horses of the best possible parts of the contemporary kingdoms too, apart fron one crore cows of sweet milk bearing breed. Maharshi Vasishta declared: King Vishamitra! I will not part with Shabala as this is my jewel, my prosperity, my life and my totality! Sargas 52 and 53 of Valmiki Bala Ramayana_]

Stanza 29 onward continued: tām śokanāśinīm divyām śriyaḥ samjananīm iva/ indriyāṇīndriyārthais tu pañca pañcabhir uttamaiḥ, tarpayām āsa māteva tadā rāvaṇapālitā/ svargo 'yam devaloko 'yam indrasyeyam purī bhavet, siddhir veyam parā hi syād ity amanyata mārutiḥ/ Hanuman then saw the 'Shaala' or the entrance hall of Ravana's residence which was literally the 'Lakshmi Nivaasa'where the 'Panchandriyas' are bound to be thoroughly contented. He wondered and argued within himself whether it was Indrapuri Swarga or Brahma Loka itself beyond one'a comprehension!

Vishleshana on Panchendriyas: Panchendriyas: a) Pancha Jnanendriyas viz. Ghrana-Rasa- Chakshu-Shrotra-Twak or smell, taste, see, hear and touch b) Pancha Karmendriyas viz. nose-tongue- eyes- ears-skin respecively and c) Pancha Tanmatras: Light, sound, taste, smell and consciousness

Stanza 33 continued: tato 'paśyat kuthāsīnam nānāyarnāmbarasrajam, sahasram yaranārīnām nānāveṣavibhūṣitam/ parivṛtte 'rdharātre tu pānanidrāvaśam gatam, krīḍitvoparatam rātrau suṣvāpa balavat tadā/Then Hanuman saw thousands of Sundari strees adorned with colourful dresses, valauble ornaments and flower garlands; it was at that midnight time they were looking tired after playing games and surfiet with 'madhupaana' were half asleep. The jingling sounds of their glittering body ornaments were supplemented by the screeches of swans in the water ponds and the buzzing noises of groups of honey bees there around. Ravana's 'haveli' strees as felt by Hanuman were of the grandeur of Sharat kaala sky's 'nakshatra mandalis' and the charming females were like the Chandra in the middle. Subsequent to the session of madhupaana, the groups of sundaris had initiated 'nritya-gaana-kreeda' with their fragant and long head hairs were let loose or flying away all around their well shaped bodies swirling around in dances step by step, even as the fragrant garlands as adorned by the soft necks again with the tinkling clinks of their body. mṛduṣv aṅgeṣu kāsāṁ cit kucāgreṣu ca saṁsthitāḥ, babhūvur bhūsanānīva śubhā bhūsanarājayah/ amśukāntāś ca kāsām cin mukhamārutakampitāh, upary upari vaktrāṇām vyādhūyante punaḥ punaḥ/ tāḥ pātākā ivoddhūtāḥ patnīnām ruciraprabhāḥ, nānāvarnasuvarnānām vaktramūlesu rejire/ Some of the 'yuvatis' in the course of their ecstacy, happen to display the softness of their body parts while also expose the firmness of their peeping out breasts with their swinging neck ornaments. The very many wives of Ravana of charm and beauty were partly covering and slowly waving their silken robes like the banners of charismatic magic! rāvaṇānanaśaṅkāś ca kāś cid rāvaṇayoṣitaḥ, mukhāni sma sapatnīnām upājighran punaḥ punaḥ/ atyartham saktamanaso rāvane tā varastriyah, asvatantrāh sapatnīnām priyam evācarams tadā/ Invariably the wives of Ravana were habitual of kissing and embracing the pillows on their soft beds as they were under the influence of 'madira' while some others would keep them of their breasts or underneath. <u>ūrupārśvakaṭīpṛṣṭham</u> anyonyasya samāśritāh, parasparanivistāngyo madasnehavaśānugāh/ anyonyasyāngasamsparśāt

prīyamānāh sumadhyamāh, ekīkrtabhujāh sarvāh susupus tatra yositah/ anyonyabhujasūtrena strīmālāgrathitā hi sā, māleva grathitā sūtre śuśubhe mattaṣaṭpadā/ Thus the semi conscious damsels under the infuence of liquor get obsessed with the great asura would imagine and seek his strong body keep their pillows or embrace each other or tighten the others in their clasps or pull the other's breasts underneath imagining the holds of Ravana's body limbs. rājarsipitrdaityānām gandharvānām ca yositah, rakṣasām cābhavan kanyās tasya kāmavaśam gatāh/ All the wives of Ravana were attracted due to his figure and fame as from among the 'kanyas' of the family background of Rajarshis, Brahmashis, Daityas, Gandharvas or Rakshasi and thus voluntarily married him. Ravana had never seized kanyas as a result of his victories in battles either of his fascination, lust or fur fun! na tatra kā cit pramadā prasahya; vīryopapannena guņena labdhā, na cānyakāmāpi na cānyapūrvā; vinā varārhām janakātmajām tu/ na cākulīnā na ca hīnarūpā; nādaksinā nānupacāra yuktā, bhāryābhavat tasya na hīnasattvā; na cāpi kāntasya na kāmanīyā/Among the wives of Ravana never forced any female to bed without her express consent as all his wives were such had fallen in love with him. Thus Hanuman came to the decisive conclusion that a Devi of the standing and status of Sita the loyal wife of Shri Rama, could never ever become Ravana's wife. None of Ravana's wives was such as not originated from enviable family background, or unintelligent, or neglected, or a weakling by physique, unattractive, or of loose character or conduct. punaś ca so 'cintayad ārtarūpo; dhruvam viśiṣṭā guṇato hi sītā, athāyam asyām kṛtavān mahātmā; lankeśvarah kastam anāryakarma/ Having introspected so, Hanuman wondered as to why Lankeshwara had perpetrated the hateworthy, deliberate, and even desperate act of forcefully abducting the 'Pativrata shiromani' Sita Devi!!

Sarga Ten

In the process of searching for Devi Sita, Hanuman was confused by seeing Devi Mandodari to Devi Sita!

Tatra divyopamam mukhyam sphāṭikam ratnabhūṣitam, avekṣamāṇo hanumān dadarśa śayanāsanam/ tasya caikatame deśe so 'gryamālyavibhūṣitam, dadarśa pāṇḍuram chatram tārādhipatisamnibham/ bālavyajanahastābhir vījyamānam samantatah, gandhaiś ca vividhair justam varadhūpena dhūpitam/ paramāstaraņāstīrņam āvikājinasamvrtam, dāmabhir varamālyānām samantād upasobhitam/tasmiñ jīmūtasamkāśam pradīptottamakundalam, lohitākṣam mahābāhum mahārajatavāsasam/ lohitenānuliptāngam candanena sugandhinā, samdhyāraktam ivākāśe toyadam satadidgunam/ vrtam ābharanair divyaih surūpam kāmarūpiņam, savṛkṣavanagulmāḍhyam prasuptam iva mandaram/ krīditvoparatam rātrau varābharanabhūsitam, priyam rāksasakanyānām rāksasānām sukhāvaham/ pītvāpy uparatam cāpi dadarśa sa mahākapih, bhāskare śayane vīram prasuptam rāksasādhipam/ Nishvasantamyathaa naagam Ravanam raksham vaanarottamah, aasaadya paramodvignah sopaasarpat subheevatat/ Athaarohanamaasaadya vedikaantaramaashritah, ksheebam rakshasa shardulam prekshate sma mahaa kapih/ Kaanchanangad samniddhou dadarsha sa mahaatmanah, vikshiptou raakshasendra sya bhujaavindradwajopamaou / airāvatavisānāgrair āpīditakrtavranau, vajrollikhitapīnāmsau viṣṇucakraparikṣitau/ pīnau samasujātāmsau samgatau balasamyutau, sulakṣaṇa nakhānguṣṭhau svangulītalalakşitau/ samhatau parighākārau vrttau karikaropamau, vikşiptau śayane śubhre pañcaśīrṣāv ivoragau/ śaśaksatajakalpena suśītena sugandhinā, candanena parārdhyena svanuliptau svalamkṛtau/ uttamastrīvimrditau gandhottamanişevitau, yakşapannagagandharvadevadānavarāviņau/ dadarśa sa kapis tasya bāhū śayanasamsthitau, mandarasyāntare suptau mahārhī rusitāv iva/ tābhyām sa paripūrnābhyām bhujābhyām rākṣasādhipaḥ, śuśubhe 'calasamkāśaḥ śrngābhyām iva mandaraḥ/ cūtapumnāgasurabhir bakulottamasamyutah, mṛṣṭānnarasasamyuktah pānagandhapuraḥsarah/ tasya rākṣasasimhasya niścakrāma mukhān mahān, śayānasya viniḥśvāsah pūrayann iva tad gṛham/ muktāmaņivicitreņa kāñcanena virājatā, mukuṭenāpavṛttena kuṇḍalojjvalitānanam/ raktacandana digdhena tathā hārena śobhitā, pīnāyataviśālena vaksasābhivirājitam/ pāndurenāpaviddhena ksaumena ksatajeksanam, mahārhena susamvītam pītenottamavāsasā/ māsarāsipratīkāsam nihsvasantam bhujangavat, gānge mahati toyānte prasutamiva kunjaram/ caturbhiḥ kāncanair dīpair dīpyamānaiś caturdisam, prakāsīkrtasarvāngam megham vidvudganair iva/ pādamūlagatās cāpi dadarsa sumahātma -

nah, patnīh sa priyabhāryasya tasya raksahpater grhe/ śaśiprakāśavadanā varakundalabhūsitāh, amlānamālyābharanā dadarśa hariyūthapah/ nrttavāditrakuśalā rāksasendrabhujānkagāh, varābharaṇadhāriṇyo niṣannā dadṛśe kapiḥ/vajravaidūryagarbhāṇi śravaṇānteṣu yoṣitām, dadarśa tāpanīyāni kuṇḍalāny aṅgadāni ca/ tāsām candropamair vaktraiḥ śubhair lalitakuṇḍalaiḥ, virarāja vimānam tan nabhas tārāganair iva/ madavvāvāmakhinnās tā rāksasendrasva vositah, tesu tesv avakāśeşu prasuptās tanumadhyamāh/kā cid vīṇām parişvajya prasuptā samprakāśate, mahānadī prakīrņeva nalinī potam āśritā/ anyā kakṣagatenaiva maḍḍukenāsitekṣaṇā, prasuptā bhāminī bhāti bālaputreva vatsalā/ paṭaham cārusarvāngī pīdya sete subhastanī, cirasya ramaṇam labdhvā parisvajyeva kāminī/kācid amsam parisvajya suptā kamalalocanā, nidrāvasam anuprāptā sahakānteva bhāminī/ anyā kanakasamkāśair mṛdupīnair manoramaih, ṛdangam paripīdyāngaih prasuptā mattalocanā/ bhujapārśvāntarasthena kaksagena kṛśodarī, panavena sahānindyā suptā madakṛtaśramā/ diṇdimam parigrhyānyā tathaivāsaktadiṇdimā, prasuptā taruṇam vatsam upagūhyeva bhāminī/ kā cid āḍambaram nārī bhujasambhogapīḍitam, kṛtvā kamalapatrākṣī prasuptā madamohitā, kalaśīm apaviddhyānyā prasuptā bhāti bhāminī, vasante puṣpaśabalā māleva parimārjitā/ pāṇibhyām ca kucau kā cit suvarņakalasopamau, upagūhyābalā suptā nidrābalaparājitā/ anyā kamalapatrākṣī pūrņendusadršānanā, anyām ālingya suśroņī prasuptā madavihvalā/ātodyāni vicitrāņi parisvajya varastriyaḥ, nipīḍya ca kucaiḥ suptāḥ kāminyaḥ kāmukān iva/ tāsām ekāntavinyaste śayānām śayane śubhe, dadarśa rūpasampannām aparām sa kapih striyam/ muktāmanisamāyuktair bhūsanaih suvibhūsitām, vibhūsayantīm iva ca svaśriyā bhavanottamam/ gaurīm kanakavarnābhām istām antaḥpureśvarīm, kapir mandodarīm tatra śayānām cārurūpinīm/ sa tām dṛṣṭvā mahābāhur bhūṣitām mārutātmajah, tarkayām āsa sīteti rūpayauvanasampadā, harsena mahatā yukto nananda hariyūthapah/ āshpotavām āsa cucumba puccham; nananda cikrīda jagau jagāma, stambhān arohan nipapāta bhūmau; nidarśayan svām prakrtim kapīnām/

Hanuman then spotted a golden platform carved out of 'vaidurya manis' and decorated with fragrant flower garlands. He saw rakshas raja Ravana sleeping having plentiful wine and women. His body radiance was like that of blue clouds, karna kundalas were glittering diamonds, eyes were red and shoulders were high and broad. On seeing him, Hanuman felt that 'Mandaraachala' was sleeping with the perfumed aroma of forests, trees, and creepers. Nishvasantamyathaa naagam Ravanam raksham vaanarottamah, aasaadya paramodvignah sopaasarpat subheevatat/ Athaarohanamaasaadya vedikaantaramaashritah, ksheebam rakshasa shardulam prekshate sma mahaa kapih/Kaanchanangad samniddhou dadarsha sa mahaatmanah, vikshiptou raakshasendra -sya bhujaavindradwajopamaou / At that time as Ravana was breathing heavily looked like a phoo-phoo sounding 'maha sarpa', as Vaanara shiromani Hanuman was rather bewildered and stepping up from a staircase kept on staring at him. He witnessed from a distance the huge body with two strong shoulders like the 'Indra dhwaja' kept aloft by two powerful hands decorated with 'bhuja keertis' or the sparkle of gold ornamented high shoulders. As 'uttama kula stree shiromanis' originating from the background of yaksha-naaga-gandharva-deva daanayas, were mildly pressing his shoulders and applying 'sugandha chandana', Rayana's sleep was soothened further and faster. dadarśa sa kapis tasya bāhū śayanasamsthitau, mandarasyāntare suptau mahārhī ruṣitāv iva/ Kapivara Hanuman kept on staring Ravana's high and mighty shoulders for long as though an 'ajagara' or python was resting in the deep caves of Mandaraachala Parvata! As the Rakshasa Raja Ravana's broad and well streched face was breathing, his nostrils were fast emanating the mix of 'sugandhas' of 'naaga kesaari pushpas', 'anna rasa' of sumptuous food of bhakshya-bhojya- lehyachoshya- madiraa paaneeyas, as spread all around. The scintillating 'manikarna kundalas' decorated on the his ears enhance the brightness of his broad face, while his broad chest was besmeared by chandana, further boosted the glitter of his long and dangling necklaces. His darling wives were then witnessed by Hanuman as they were lost in deep sleep at the feet of Ravanaasura. Vaanara yudhapati Anjaneya then kept on gaping intently at each of the faces of his wives again and again; they were all with 'ksheena katipradeshas' or of slender waists, exhausted with 'rati kreedaas', lying in deep slumber. Vidhata Brahma appeared to have created their body parts with care and caution as evidenced in the course of their dances with 'nava rassas' of 'shringara' or romance, 'bheebhatsa' or disgust, 'roudra' or reactionary

with anger, 'bhayanaka' of hissing of cobras, 'veera rasa' or of awe and anger, 'haasya' or of humor, 'karuna' or kindness and deevotion and 'shanti' or union with the lover! As the dancers and instrumenalists of the 'sundaris' were in the embraces of Ravana, the similarity was of Chandra and Nakshatras. tāsām ekāntavinyaste śayānām śayane śubhe, dadarśa rūpasampannām aparām sa kapiḥ striyam/ muktāmaṇisamāyuktair bhūṣaṇaiḥ suvibhūṣitām, vibhūṣayantīm iva ca svaśriyā bhavanottamam/ gaurīm kanakavarṇābhām iṣṭām antaḥpureśvarīm, kapir mandodarīm tatra śayānām cārurūpiṇīm/ sa tām dṛṣṭvā mahābāhur bhūṣitām mārutātmajaḥ, tarkayām āsa sīteti rūpayauvanasampadā, harṣṇa mahatā yukto nananda hariyūthapaḥ/ Hanuman then had very carefully seen the faces of all the sundaries, one by one, most of whom were ornamented in a manner of enhancing the splendor of the Mahal; then he spotted one unique and well distingueshed lady with extremely fair colour as of freshly cast golden ore; indeed she was the 'Patta Mahishi' or the Prime Queen named Devi Mandodari ! She was the most beloved of Ravana and the 'Antahpura Swamini'. Rupa-Youvana- Sampada-Vastra Vibhushita Devi Mandodari was mistaken by Pavana Kumara Hanuman was in bliss for all his adventures had ultimately reaped in great success! He kissed his long tail with untold joy and started jumping and leaping, dancing and playing!

[Vishleshana on Devi Mandodari

Devi Mandodari was the daughter of Mayasura and Hema, a noted pativrata of the ranking of Ahalya, Tara, Anasuya, Sumati and Draupadi. She was reputed for faithfulness, selflessness, innocence, righteousness, besides of convincing capacity which of course failed in the case of her husband Ravana much as in the case of Tara. Her trait of carrying conviction was well proven as in the case of her own brothers named Mayavi and Dundubhi who were always at loggerheads. But her capability of gentleness, and honesty were stated to be unparalleled. Ravana was no doubt an admirable being, a glorious warrior, a reputed Shiva bhakta, excellent family background and a person of dharmic nature who never forced women to bed. But he failed in the case of Devi Sita as that faced his doom along with his followers. She pleaded her husband, who incidentally was younger to her husband, just as Devi Tara did to Vaali but failed. Indeed she had the rudimantary virtue of a proven Pativrata with the proverbial Puranic features of an ideal life partner being a servant like service, a mother like affection, an ever comforting woman of charm, beauty and kingly famiry origin with prosperity, besides dedication, humility, forgiveness, compassion and the patience as of Bhu Devi!]

Sarga Eleven

Hanuman on seeing Mandori, took time self assure about Devi Sita, continued the search even while self introspecting of his own honesty in the atmosphere of food-dance and lust; yet dismissed such thoughts.

Avadhūya ca tām buddhim babhūvāvasthitas tadā, jagāma cāparām cintām sītām prati mahākapiḥ/ na rāmeņa viyuktā sā svaptum arhati bhāminī, na bhoktum nāpy alamkartum na pānam upasevitum/ nānyam naram upasthātum surānām api ceśvaram, na hi rāmasamah kaś cid vidvate tridaśesv api, anyeyam iti niścitya pānabhūmau cacāra sah/ krīditenāparāh klāntā gītena ca tathā parāh, nrttena cāparāh klāntāh pānaviprahatās tathā/ murajeṣu mṛdaṅgeṣu pīṭhikāsu ca saṁsthitāḥ, tathāstaraṇamukhyyeṣu saṁviṣṭāś cāparāh striyah/ aṅganānāṁ sahasrena bhūsitena vibhūsanaih, rūpasaṁlāpaśīlena yuktagītārthabhāsinā/ deśakālābhiyuktena yuktavākyābhidhāyinā, ratābhiratasamsuptam dadarśa hariyūthapah/ tāsām madhye mahābāhuh śuśubhe rāksaseśvarah, gosthe mahati mukhyānām gavām madhye yathā vṛsah/ rākṣasendraḥ śuśubhe tābhiḥ parivṛtaḥ svayam, karenubhir yathāraṇyam parikīrno mahādvipaḥ/ sarvakāmair upetām ca pānabhūmim mahātmanaḥ, dadarśa kapiśārdūlas tasya rakṣaḥpater grhe/ mṛgāṇām mahiṣāṇām ca varāhāṇām ca bhāgaśaḥ, tatra nyastāni māmsāni pānabhūmau dadarśa saḥ/ raukmesu ca viśalesu bhājanesv ardhabhaksitān, dadarśa kapiśārdūla mayūrān kukkutāms tathā/ varāhavārdhrānasakān dadhisauvarcalāyutān, śalyān mṛgamayūrāms ca hanūmān anvavaiksata/ kṛkarān vividhān siddhām's cakorān ardhabhaksitān, mahisān ekasalyām's ca chāgām's ca kṛtanisthitān, lekhyam uccāvacam peyam bhojyāni vividhāni ca/ tathāmlalavanottamsair vividhai rāgaṣāḍavaih, hāra nūpurakevūrair apaviddhair mahādhanaih/ pānabhājanaviksiptaih phalais ca vividhair api, krta -

puspopahārā bhūr adhikam pusyati śriyam/ tatra tatra ca vinyastaih suślistaih śayanāsanaih, pānabhūmir vinā vahnim pradīptevopalaksyate/ bahuprakārair vividhair varasamskārasamskrtaih, māmsaiḥ kuśalasamyuktaiḥ pānabhūmigataiḥ pṛthak/ divyāḥ prasannā vividhāḥ surāḥ kṛtasurā api, śarkarāsavamādhvīkāḥ puṣpāsavaphalāsavāḥ, vāsacūrṇaiś ca vividhair mṛṣṭās tais taiḥ pṛthakpṛthak/ samtatā śuśubhe bhūmir mālyaiś ca bahusamsthitaih, hiranmayaiś ca karakair bhājanaih sphātikair api, jāmbūnadamayais cānyaiḥ karakair abhisamvṛtā/ rājateṣu ca kumbheṣu jāmbūnadamayeṣu ca, pānaśreṣṭham tadā bhūri kapis tatra dadarśa ha/ so 'paśyac chātakumbhāni śīdhor maṇimayāni ca, rājatāni ca pūrņāni bhājanāni mahākapiļ/ kva cid ardhāvaseṣāṇi kva cit pītāni sarvasaḥ, kva cin naiva prapītāni pānāni sa dadarśa ha/ kva cid bhaksyāms ca vividhān kva cit pānāni bhāgasah, kva cid annāvaśesāni paśyan vai vicacāra ha/ kva cit prabhinnaih karakaih kva cid āloditair ghataih, kva cit sampṛktamālyāni jalāni ca phalāni ca/ śayanāny atra nārīnām śūnyāni bahudhā punah, parasparam samāślisya kāś cit suptā varānganāh/ kā cic ca vastram anyasyā apahrtyopaguhya ca, upagamyābalā suptā nidrābalaparājitā/ tāsām ucchvāsavātena vastram mālyam ca gātrajam, nātyartham spandate citram prāpya mandam ivānilam/ candanasya ca śītasya śīdhor madhurasasya ca, vividhasya ca mālyasva puspasva vividhasva ca/bahudhā mārutas tatra gandham vividham udvahan., snānānām candanānām ca dhūpānām caiva mūrchitaḥ, pravavau surabhir gandho vimāne puspake tadā/ śyāmāvadātās tatrānyāḥ kāś cit kṛṣṇā varānganāḥ, kāś cit kāñcanavarṇāngyaḥ pramadā rākṣasālaye/ tāsām nidrāvaśatvāc ca madanena vimūrchitam, padminīnām prasuptānām rūpam āsīd yathaiva hi/ evam sarvam asesena rāvanāntahpuram kapih, dadarsa sumahātejā na dadarsa ca jānakīm/ nirīksamānas ca tatas tāh striyah sa mahākapih, jagāma mahatīm cintām dharmasādhvasaśankitah/paradārāvarodhasya prasuptasya nirīksanam, idam khalu mamātyartham dharmalopam karisyati/ na hi me paradārānām dṛṣṭir viṣayavartinī, ayam cātra mayā dṛṣṭaḥ paradāraparigrahaḥ/ tasya prādurabhūc cintāpunar anyā manasvinah, niścitaikāntacittasva kāryaniścayadarśinī/ kāmam drstvā mayā sarvā viśvastā rāvanastriyah, na tu me manasah kim cid vaikṛtyam upapadyate/ mano hi hetuh sarvesām indriyānām pravartate, śubhāśubhāsv avasthāsu tac ca me suvyavasthitam/ nānyatra hi mayā śakyā vaidehī parimārgitum, striyo hi strīsu drśyante sadā samparimārgane/yasya sattvasya yā yonis tasyām tat parimārgyate, na śakyam pramadā naṣṭā mṛgīṣu parimārgitum tad idam mārgitam tāvac chuddhena manasā mayā, rāyanāntahpuram saram drśyate na ca jānakī/ deyagandharyakanyāś ca nāgakanyāś ca vīryavān, avekṣamāṇo hanumān naivāpaśyata jānaki/ tām apaśyan kapis tatra paśyamś cānyā varastriyaḥ, apakramya tadā vīraḥ pradhyātum upacakrame/

Having discarded his natural suspicion that the Devi identified was Mandodari but not of Devi Sita continued with his further search. He flashed back about his thoughts and felt firmly: After all Devi Sita was forcibly taken away from Shri Rama and in that state of extreme disgust, she would neither take food, let alone ornament herself, seek to get better dressed and least of all take to 'madiraapaana'! She would never ever be seated near any body else in her life, even if it were other Devatas or Ishvara Himself! Indeed that ought to be another 'sthree' who was mistaken seated comfortably in the 'madhu shaala'. In that place, dances, music, 'madya paana', 'shringara' were all in excellent progress and Lankeshvara was asleep following 'rati kreedas'like a single 'vrishabha' amidst numberless cows. Hanuman had just witnessed the type of feast of food of fresh meat of animals like pigs, deers, goats and sheep as also of birds of peacocks, chicken, doves besides of fishes, apart from 'madya paana' of choicest wines, beforealong-and followed by sumptuous dinner, dance and music sessions, leading to romamce, lust and sleep. evam sarvam asesena rāvanāntahpuram kapih, dadarsa sumahātejā na dadarsa ca jānakīm/ nirīkṣamāṇaś ca tatas tāḥ striyaḥ sa mahākapiḥ, jagāma mahatīm cintām dharmasādhvasaśankitaḥ/ In this manner, Kapi shreshtha Hanuman searched the nooks and corners of the antahpura of Lankaadhipati but was still there was no trace of Devi Sita anywhere. As Hanuman kept on the search, he was a little concerned in his inner thoughts about the possible impact of witnessing those flashes of the atmosphere of food feasts- music-dance-drunkenness-bodily desires of love-lust-strees- sleep and so on. paradārāvarodhasya prasuptasya nirīksanam, idam khalu mamātyartham dharmalopam karisyati/ na hi me paradārāṇām dṛṣṭir viṣayavartinī, ayam cātra mayā dṛṣṭaḥ paradāraparigrahaḥ/ Indeed, even the very thoughts of women and of staring them when they were asleep would dilute the concepts of virtue!

Hanuman further felt so far he was immune of the thoughts of bodily desires while he recalled as to how Ravana was unable to resist the thoughts of Devi Sita! Then Hanuman realised that his mission of 'Sitanveshana' ought not to be tempered with and weakened!Then his inner thoughts were stirred up again: mano hi hetuh sarveṣām indriyāṇām pravartate, śubhāśubhāsv avasthāsu tac ca me suvyavasthitam/It indeed the mind which is the root cause of raga-dveshas originated by panchidriyas of seeing, hearing, smelling, feeling and touching. But Hanuman espressed with determination and declared: nānyatra hi mayā śakyā vaidehī parimārgitum, striyo hi strīṣu dṛśyante sadā samparimārgaṇe/yasya sattvasya yā yonis tasyām tat parimārgyate, na śakyam pramadā naṣṭā mṛgīṣu parimārgitum/tad idam mārgitam tāvac chuddhena manasā mayā, rāvaṇāntaḥpuram saram dṛśyate na ca jānakī/ 'After all, Devi Sita would necessarily have to be searched only in the groups of other women only as she is that race only but not among the groups of female deers! That is why I have assumed clean heart and thoughts and made sincere efforts inside the Ravanaasura's antahpura, most certainy not to stare the females, nor at the food festival, music and dance sessions, their amorous affairs and such activities!Thus being assured of his own thoughts of the inner self, Anjaneya resumed his sincere efforts of 'Devi Sitaanveshana'.

Sarga Twelve

<u>Hanuman in his remote thoughts wondered and was even concerned of Devi Sita's very existence but</u> <u>quickly recovered from such apprehensions resumed 'Sitanveshana'yet again with confidence and belief!</u>

Sa tasya madhye bhavanasya vānaro; latāgrhām's citragrhān niśāgrhān, jagāma sītām prati darśanotsuko; na caiva tām paśyati cārudarśanām/sa cintayām āsa tato mahākapih; priyām apaśyan raghunandanasya tām, dhruvam nu sītā mriyate yathā na me; vicinvato darśanam eti maithilī/ sā rāksasānām pravarena bālā; svaśīlasamraksana tat parā satī, anena nūnam pratidustakarmanā; hatā bhaved āryapathe pare sthitā/ virūparūpā vikrtā vivarcaso; mahānanā dīrghavirūpadarśanāh, samīksya sā rākṣasarājayoṣito; bhayād vinaṣṭā janakeśvarātmajā/ sītām adṛṣṭvā hy anavāpya pauruṣam; vihṛtya kālam saha vānaraiś ciram, na me 'sti sugrīvasamīpagā gatih; sutīksnadando balavām's ca vānarah/ drstam antahpuram sarvam drstvā rāvanavositah, na sītā drśvate sādhvī vrthā jāto mama śramah kim nu mām vānarāḥ sarve gatam vakṣyanti samgatāḥ, gatvā tatra tvayā vīra kim kṛtam tad vadasva naḥ/ Adrstvā kim pravaksyāmi tām aham janakātmajām, dhruvam prāvam upesvanti kālasya vyativartane/ kim vā vakṣyati vṛddhaś ca jāmbavān aṅgadaś ca saḥ, gatam pāram samudrasya vānarāś ca samāgatāḥ/ anirvedah śriyo mūlam anirvedah param sukham, bhūyas tāvad vicesyāmi na yatra vicayah krtah/ anirvedo hi satatam sarvārthesu pravartakah, karoti saphalam jantoh karma yac ca karoti sah/ tasmād -anirveda kṛtam yatnam ceṣṭe 'ham uttamam, adṛṣṭām's ca viceṣyāmi deśān rāvaṇapālitān/ āpānaśālāvicitās tathā puṣpagrhāṇi ca, citraśālāś ca vicitā bhūyah krīḍāgrhāṇi ca/ niṣkuṭāntararathyāś ca vimānāni ca sarvaśah, iti samcintya bhūyo 'pi vicetum upacakrame/ bhūmīgṛhāmś caityagṛhān grhātigrhakān api, utpatan nipatam's cāpi tisthan gacchan punah kva cit/ apāvrnvam's ca dvārāni kapātāny avaghattavan, praviśan nispatams cāpi prapatann utpatann api, sarvam apy avakāśam sa vicacāra mahākapiḥ/ caturangulamātro 'pi nāvakāśaḥ sa vidyate, rāvaṇāntaḥpure tasmin yam kapir na jagāma sah/ prākarāntararathyāś ca vedikaś caityasamśrayāh, śvabhrāś ca puskarinyaś ca sarvam tenāvalokitam/ rāksasyo vividhākārā virūpā vikṛtās tathā, dṛstā hanūmatā tatra na tu sā janakātmajā/ rūpenāpratimā loke varā vidyādhara striyah, dṛtā hanūmatā tatra na tu rāghavanandin√ nāgakanyā varārohāḥ pūrṇacandranibhānanāḥ, dṛṣṭā hanūmatā tatra na tu sītā sumadhyamā/ pramathya rākṣasendreṇa nāgakanyā balād dhṛtāh, dṛṣṭā hanūmatā tatra na sā janakanandin√ so 'paśyaṁs tāṁ mahābāhuh paśyamś cānyā varastriyah, viṣasāda mahābāhur hanūmān mārutātmajah/ udyogam vānarendrāṇam plavanam sāgarasya ca, vyartham vīkṣyānilasutas cintām punar upāgamat/ avatīrya vimānāc ca hanūmān mārutātmajah, cintām upajagāmātha śokopahatacetanah/

Having exited Ravana's Raja bhavana, Hanuman visited gradually the 'Lataamandapa' the 'chitrashala' and the 'Vishrama griha' too in the mid night hours. Then he felt: sa cintayām āsa tato mahākapiḥ;

priyām apaśyan raghunandanasya tām, dhruvam nu sītā mriyate yathā na me; vicinvato darśanam eti maithilī/ sā rāksasānām pravarena bālā; svaśīlasamraksana tat parā satī, anena nūnam pratidustakarmanā; hatā bhaved āryapathe pare sthitā/ Raguhunandana's priyatama Sita, is not to be seen anywhere and it appears that Mithileshvari might not be alive. Indeed, she followed the principles of the Arva Maarga, dedicated to 'sadaachara prayartana', and it is likely the cruel Rakshasa Raja Rayana might have ended her existence. Or else, the servants of Ravanasura are 'virupa vikrita vivarchaas' with frightening eyes and looks and out of sheer fright of them, Janaka Nandini might have collapsed to her end. Neither the 'purushadha phala' of succeeding the vision of Devi Sita was successful, nor the time limit of return to kishkindha as decided by King Sugriva would be available now as he should punish me mercilessly. I have had most meticulously searched all possible places and my labours have turned wasteful; I had explored and rummaged around the antahpura, keenly examined all the strees. When I might return back to Angada, Jambayanta and the other stalwarts back to the other shore, what could I reply to them excepting accepting my misadventure! anirvedah śriyo mūlam anirvedah param sukham, bhūyas tāvad vicesyāmi na yatra vicayah kṛtah/ anirvedo hi satatam sarvārthesu pravartakah, karoti saphalam jantoh karma yac ca karoti sah/ tasmād anirveda krtam yatnam ceste 'ham uttamam, adrstāms' ca vicesyāmi deśān rāvaṇapālitān/ Anjaneya thus having been defeated of the purpose realised: Any Being once lost the objective should not lose the spirit of enthusiasm but endeavor again and again [like the proverbial spider weaving threads from its mouth]; thus relent effort of 'Sitanveshana'ought to resume. Passion and dedication should lead to success. Therefore, let me pull up my patience and continue my effort, asserted Anajanya.

[Vishleshana on Continued Endeavor towards success vide Bhagavad Gita

Karmayedhikaaraste maa phaleshu kadaachana, maa karma heturbhuuh maate sangosta karmani/Partha! You do only the liberty to 'do' but never demand the return fruits about which you have no control. Yet never abstain from the performance surely expected of you. 'Karma Phala' is as per the decision of the Almighty. What ever is decided as per destiny shall doubtless be awarded to you. Never hesitate to accept by way of self desire or by the misleading advice of the public. The very feeling of disappointment creates suspicion and self repudiation. This tends to lead to frustration which is the anti-thesis of contentment and thus further leads to a string of inabilities for further successes! That situation is tantamount to ' jadatva' or total lack of initiative!]

Stanza 15 is continued: bhūmīgṛhāmś caityagṛhān gṛhātigṛhakān api, utpatan nipatamś cāpi tiṣṭhan gacchan punaḥ kva cit/ apāvṛṇvamś ca dvārāṇi kapāṭāny avaghaṭṭayan, praviśan niṣpatamś cāpi prapatann utpatann api, sarvam apy avakāśam sa vicacāra mahākapiḥ/ caturaṅgulamātro 'pi nāvakāśaḥ sa vidyate, rāvaṇāntaḥpure tasmin yam kapir na jagāma saḥ/ prākarāntararathyāś ca vedikaś caityasamśrayāḥ, śvabhrāś ca puṣkariṇyaś ca sarvam tenāvalokitam/Hanuman then ran off to the underground residences, then the huge houses of celebrities, mandapas at high road crossings were seen by quick jumpings. He peeped in the doors kept ajar, the windows and the surroundings of the residences, lanes and by lanes, vedis, kurupa rakshasa rakshasees asleep,the residences of Vidyadhara-Nagakanyas and all possible palaces, public places and so on. Yet the nightlong searches were still elusive thus far. Hanuman was then drowned deep with disappontment with somewhat subdued spirits for a while.

Sarga Thirteen

Despite his sincere efforts of finding Devi Sita, the indicanations were slimmed and might even return with disappoimnment. But yet, recalling Sampati's assurance, he sought to visit 'Ashoka Vaatika'

Vimānāt tu susamkramya prākāram hariyūthapaḥ, hanūmān vegavān āsīd yathā vidyudghanāntare/samparikramya hanumān rāvaṇasya niveśanān, adṛṣṭvā jānakīm sītām abravīd vacanam kapiḥ/bhūvistham loditā laṅkā rāmasya caratā privam, na hi paśvāmi vaidehīm sītām sarvāṅgaśobhanām/

palvalāni tatākāni sarāmsi saritas tathā, nadyo 'nūpavanāntās' ca durgās' ca dharanīdharāh, loditā vasudhā sarvā na ca paśyāmi jānakīm/ iha sampātinā sītā rāvanasya niveśane, ākhyātā grdhrarājena na ca paśyāmi tām aham/kim nu sītātha vaidehī maithilī janakātmajā, upatistheta vivaśā rāvaṇam dustacāriņam/ kṣipram utpatato manye sītām ādāya rakṣasaḥ, bibhyato rāmabāṇānām antarā patitā bhavet/ atha vā hrivamānāvāh pathi siddhanisevite, manye patitam ārvāvā hrdavam preksva sāgaram/ rāvaņasyoruvegena bhujābhyām pīditena ca, tayā manye viśālāksyā tyaktam jīvitam āryayā upary upari vā nūnam sāgaram kramatas tadā, vivestamānā patitā samudre janakātmajā/ āho kṣudreṇa cānena raksantī śīlam ātmanah, abandhur bhaksitā sītā rāvanena tapasvinī/ atha vā rāksasendrasva patnībhir asiteksanā, adustā dustabhāvābhir bhaksitā sā bhavisyati/ sampūrnacandrapratimam padmapatranibheksanam, rāmasya dhyāyatī vaktram pañcatvam kṛpanā gatā/ hā rāma laksmanety eva hāyodhyeti ca maithilī, vilapya bahu vaidehī nyastadehā bhavisyati/ atha vā nihitā manye rāvanasya niveśane, nūnam lālapyate mandam pañjarastheva śārikā/ janakasya kule jātā rāmapatnī sumadhyamā, katham utpalapatrākṣī rāvaṇasya vaśam vrajet/ vinaṣṭā vā pranaṣṭā vā mṛṭā vā janakātmajā, rāmasya priyabhāryasya na nivedayitum kṣamam/ nivedyamāne doṣaḥ syād doṣaḥ syād anivedane, katham nu khalu kartayyam yisamam pratibhāti me/ asminn eyamgate karye prāptakālam ksamam ca kim, bhayed iti matim bhūyo hanumān pravicārayan/ yadi sītām adrstvāham vānarendrapurīm itah, gamisyāmi tatah ko me puruṣārtho bhaviṣyati/ mamedam laṅghanam vyartham sāgarasya bhaviṣyati, praveśaś civa laṅkāyā rāksasānām ca daršanam/ kim vā vaksyati sugrīvo harayo va samāgatāh, kiskindhām samanuprāptau tau vā daśarathātmajau/ gatvā tu vadi kākutstham vaksvāmi param apriyam, na drsteti mavā sītā tatas tyakşyanti jīvitam/ paruşam dāruṇam krūram tīkṣṇam indriyatāpanam, sītānimittam durvākyam śrutvā sa na bhavişyati/tam tu krcchragatam drştvā pañcatvagatamānasam, bhrśānurakto medhāvī na bhavişyati lakşmanah/ vinaştau bhrātarau śrutvā bharato 'pi marişyati, bharatam ca mṛtam dṛṣṭvā śatrughno na bhavisyat/ putrān mrtān samīksyātha na bhavisyanti mātarah, kausalyā ca sumitrā ca kaikeyī ca na samśayah/kṛtajñah satyasamdhaś ca sugrīvah plavagādhipah, Rāmam tathā gatam dṛstvā tatas tyaksyanti jīvitam/ durmanā vyathitā dīnā nirānandā tapasvinī, pīditā bhartrśokena rumā tyaksyati jīvitam/ vālijena tu duḥkhena pīḍitā śokakarśitā, pañcatvagamane rājñas tārāpi na bhaviṣyati/ mātāpitror vināśena sugrīva vyasanena ca, kumāro 'py aṅgadaḥ kasmād dhārayiṣyati jīvitam/ bhartrjena tu śokena abhibhūtā vanaukasah, śirāmsv abhihanisvanti talair mustibhir eva ca/ sāntvenānupradānena mānena ca vaśasvinā, lālitāh kapirājena prānāms tyaksvanti vānarāh/ na vanesu na śailesu na nirodhesu vā punah, krīdām anubhavişyanti sametya kapikuñjarāḥ/ saputradārāḥ sāmātyā bhartrvyasanapīditāḥ, śailāgre bhyah patisyanti sametya visamesu ca/ visam udbandhanam vāpi praveśam įvalanasya vā, upavāsam atho śastram pracarişyanti vānarāh/ ghoram ārodanam manye gate mayi bhavişyati, ikṣvākukulanāśaś ca nāśaś caiva vanaukasām/ so 'ham naiva gamisyāmi kiskindhām nagarīm itah, na hi śaksyāmy aham drastum sugrīvam maithilīm vinā/ mayy agacchati cehasthe dharmātmānau mahārathau, āśayā tau dharişyete vanarāś ca manasvinah/ hastādāno mukhādāno niyato vṛkṣamūlikah, vānaprastho bhaviṣyāmi adrstvā janakātmajām/ sāgarānūpaje deśe bahumūlaphalodake, citām krtvā praveksyāmi samiddham aranīsutam/ upavistasya vā samyag linginam sādhayisyatah, śarīram bhakṣayisyanti vāyasāh śvāpadāni ca/ idam apy rsibhir drstam niryānam iti me matih samyag āpah prayeksyāmi na cet paśyāmi jānakīm/ sujātamūlā subhagā kīrtimālāvaśasvinī, prabhagnā cirarātrīvam mama sītām apaśvatah/ tāpaso vā bhavişyāmi niyato vṛkṣamūlikaḥ, netaḥ pratigamiṣyāmi tām adṛṣṭvāsitekṣaṇām/ yadītaḥ pratigacchāmi sītām anadhigamya tām, angadah sahitaih sarvair vānarair na bhavisyati/ vināśe bahavo dosā jīvan prāpnoti bhadrakam, tasmāt prānān dharisyāmi dhruvo jīvati samgamah/ evam bahuvidham duhkham manasā dhārayan muhuh, nādhyagacchat tadā pāram śokasya kapikuñjarah/ rāvanam vā vadhisyāmi daśagrīvam mahābalam, kāmam astu hrtā sītā pratyācīrnam bhavişyati/ athavainam samutksipya upary upari sāgaram, rāmāyopahariṣyāmi paśum paśupater iva/ iti cintā samāpannah sītām anadhigamya taam, dhyānaśokā parītātmā cintayām āsa vānaraḥ/ yāvat sītām na paśyāmi rāmapatnīm yaśasvinīm, tāvad etām purīm lankām vicinomi punaḥ/sampāti vacanāc cāpi rāmam yady ānayāmy aham, apaśyan rāghavo bhāryām nirdahet sarvavānarān/ ihaiva niyatāhāro vatsyāmi niyatendriyah, na matkṛte vinaśyeyuh sarve te naravānarāh/ aśokavanikā cāpi mahatīyam mahādrumā, imām abhigamisyāmi na hīyam vicitā mayā/vasūn rudrāms tathādityān aśvinau maruto 'pi ca, namaskrtvā gamiṣyāmi rakṣasām śokavardhanah/ jitvā tu rāksasān devīm iksvākukulanandinīm, sampradāsvāmi rāmāvā vathāsiddhim

tapasvine/sa muhūrtam iva dhyātvā cintāvigrathitendriyaḥ, udatiṣṭhan mahābāhur hanūmān mārutātmajaḥ/ namo 'stu rāmāya salakṣmaṇāya; devyai ca tasyai janakātmajāyai, namo 'stu rudrendrayamānilebhyo; namo 'stu candrārkamarudgaṇebhyaḥ/ sa tebhyas tu namaskṛtvā sugrīvāya ca mārutiḥ, diśaḥ sarvāḥ samālokya aśokavanikām prati/ sa gatvā manasā pūrvam aśokavanikām śubhām, uttaram cintayām āsa vānaro mārutātmajaḥ/ dhruvam tu rakṣobahulā bhaviṣyati vanākulā, aśokavanikā cintyā sarvasamskārasamskṛtā/ rakṣiṇaś cātra vihitā nūnam rakṣanti pādapān,bhagavān api sarvātmā nātikṣobham pravāyati/ samkṣipto 'yam mayātmā ca rāmārthe rāvaṇasya ca, siddhim me samvidhāsyanti devāḥ sarṣigaṇās tv iha/ br---ahmā svayambhūr bhagavān devāś caiva diśantu me, siddhim agniś ca vāyuś ca puruhūtaś ca vajradhṛt/ varuṇaḥ pāśahastaś ca somādityai tathaiva ca, aśvinau ca mahātmānau marutaḥ sarva eva c/ siddhim sarvāṇi bhūtāni bhūtānām caiva yaḥ prabhuḥ, dāsyanti mama ye cānye adṛṣṭāḥ pathi gocarāḥ/ tad unnasam pāṇḍuradantam avraṇam; śucismitam padmapalāśalocanam, drakṣye tad āryāvadanam kadā nv aham; prasannatārādhipatulyadarśanam/ kṣudreṇa pāpena nṛśamsakarmaṇā; sudāruṇālāmkṛtaveṣadhāriṇā, balābhibhūtā abalā tapasvinī; katham nu me dṛṣṭapathe 'dya sā bhavet/

With hopes against hopes, Hanuman continued his search but to avail. *iha sampātinā sītā rāvaṇasya niveśane*, *ākhyātā gṛdhrarājena na ca paśyāmi tām aham*/ Then he recalled that Grudhra Raja Sampaati affirmed that Devi Sita would most certainly should be in Lanka only, probably in Raja Mahal itself!

[Vishleshana on Sampaati's assurance to Vaanara Sena vide Valmiki Kishkindha Ramayana Sarga 63:

As Maharshi Nishaakara instructed Sampati intensively to keep serving ShriRama Karya as a singulat duty of Sampati's life and very existence, the latter slowly walked out from the Maharshi's cave and slowly crawled up to the top of the Vindhya Parvata. With the passage of time, the Maharshii passed away and there eversince, Sampaati had been waiting. He told the Vaanara shreshthas further that he wished to sacrifice his life since his living proved to be a drag eversince, but the Maharshis words were ringing in his years to wait till the arrival of the Vanara sena on 'Shri Rama Karya'. Time and again Sampaati had been chiding his son as and when he used to fetch food for him as why he had not punished 'duraatma' Rayanasura and save Devi Sita some how. Like wise he was sharing his thoughts to the vaanara shreshthaas who assembled around him. Meanwhile, Sampaati realised that his burnt off wings were slowly regenerating. He was excited to address the Vaanara veeras: niśākarasya maharseh prabhāvād amitātmanah, ādityaraśminir -dagdhau paksau me punar utthitau/ yauvane vartamānasya mamāsīd yah parākramah, tam evādyāvagacchāmi balam paurusam eva ca/ sarvathā kriyatām yatnah sītām adhigamisyatha, paksalābho mamāyam vah siddhipratyaya kārakah/ 'Kapi varaas! Thanks indeed by the blessings of Maharshi Nishaakara, my wings which were totally burnt off during my escapade with Surya Deva, have come come back sprouting. Now I should now onward be able to experience and enjoy my purusharthaas of 'Dharmaartha Kaamaas'! Vaanara veeras! All of you now should now put in your very best to take up the challenging endeayour to attain Devi Sita mother's darshan as soon as possible. This success is indeed round the corner, just as my wings are sprouting back,' Unable to suppress his greatest desire to fly any longer, Sapmpaati flew off in excitement as all the vaanara veeras clapped in response with the strong determination to initiate and propel the action on hand.

Stanzas 5 onward:kim nu sītātha vaidehī maithilī janakātmajā, upatiṣṭheta vivaśā rāvaṇam duṣṭacāriṇam/kṣipram utpatato manye sītām ādāya rakṣasaḥ, bibhyato rāmabāṇānām antarā patitā bhavet/ Hanuman wondered whether Devi Sita was coerced the impossible task of serving Ravana? Was it probable that she might have jumped off from vimana of Ravana after her struggle in his strong hands and jumped down off! atha vā hriyamāṇāyāḥ pathi siddhaniṣevite, manye patitam āryāyā hṛdayam prekṣya sāgaram/ During that travel, she could have been bewildered to see the Maha Samudra on the way to Lanka and out of fright might have dropped off! There could be such other possibilities such as cited as above. In any case, Hanuman wondered: yadi sītām adṛṣṭvāham vānarendrapurīm itaḥ, gamiṣyāmi tataḥ ko me purusārtho bhavisvati/ mamedam laṅghanam vvartham sāgarasva bhavisvati, praveśaś civa laṅkāvā

rāksasānām ca darśanam/If I were to return to Kishkindha, which type of the Chaturvidha Purushardhas viz.Dharma-Artha-Kaama-Mokshas could be waiting for me! My deeds of Samudra Langhana-Lanka Pradesha-vizualising the Rakshasas would indeed be mere waste! On reaching Kishkindha empty handed, what would be the reaction of not only of Sugriva and the followers, besides that of Rama Lakshmanas! gatvā tu yadi kākutstham vakṣyāmi param apriyam, na dṛṣṭeti mayā sītā tatas tyakṣyanti jīvitam/ In case, I dare to utter this hard truth that Devi Sita was not traceable, then would Shri Rama not hesitate to resort to his 'praana tyaaga! If that were to be so, then the vicious circle of 'atmarpanas' of Lakshmana-Bharata Shatughnans, Devis Kousalya-Sumitra- Kaikeyi-and the daughters in law too! Further atmarpanas would happen to Sugriva, Devi Tara-Angada too could happen. The ripple impact would fall like a thunderbolt on the race of Vanaras who got collected from earth, commanded by Sugriva in 'arbuda sanhkya' for 'Sitanveshana' in the directions of east-north-west- and finally to south under Angada's commnand as pioneered by Anjaneya. Those Vaanaras with their wives and progeny would resort to drinking poison or by jumping from parvata shikharas, or into flames, or my breathing failures. Indeed the extinction of Ikshvaku vamsha and of the race of Vamanas would follow too. so 'ham naiva gamişyāmi kişkindhām nagarīm itah, na hi śaksyāmy aham drastum sugrīvam maithilīm vinā/ mayy agacchati cehasthe dharmātmānau mahārathau, āśayā tau dhariṣyete vanarāś ca manasvinaḥ/ hastādāno mukhādāno niyato vṛkṣamūlikaḥ, vānaprastho bhaviṣyāmi adṛṣṭvā janakātmajām/ sāgarānūpaje deśe bahumūlaphalodake, citām kṛtvā praveksyāmi samiddham aranīsutam/ Hanuman out of sheer frustration imagined the far reaching shocking crash consequences of the resultless 'Sitanveshana' and decided never to return to Kishkindha empy handed. He further cogitated that in case of non return without seeing and meeting Devi Sita, then he might either take to 'Vaanaprastha' in surrounding forests eking his life by living fruits and roots and following 'niyamas of shoucha- dharmika- japas' incoginto under trees. He felt further that on the face of extreme mental aggravation, he might resort to 'aamarana upavasa' or jump into 'agni pravesha'. evam bahuvidham duhkham manasā dhārayan muhuh, nādhyagacchat tadā pāram śokasya kapikuñjarah/ rāvanam vā vadhisyāmi daśagrīvam mahābalam, kāmam astu hṛtā sītā pratyācīrnam bhavisyati/ Thus Anjaneya was unable to contol his inner feelings and the utter failure of Sitanyeshana. He then could not suppress his anger and had seriously felt as to why not kill Ravanasura, even stealthily and take revenge and hand over the severed heads of Ravana into the hands of Shri Rama!' Then after musing various permutations and combinations of thought ripples of the tides of the deep ocean, Hanuman made a firm declaration of faithful resoveve as follows: yāvat sītām na paśyāmi rāmapatnīm vaśasvinīm, tāvad etām purīm lankām vicinomi punah punah/Till such day and time I ought not to accomplish Darshan of Devi Sita, I should keep on seaching for her. Then he decided as follows: aśokavanikā cāpi mahatīyam mahādrumā, imām abhigamisyāmi na hīyam vicitā mayā/vasūn rudrāms tathādityān aśvinau maruto 'pi ca, namaskṛtvā gamisyāmi raksasām śokavardhanah/ jitvā tu rāksasān devīm ikṣvākukulanandinīm, sampradāsyāmi rāmāyā yathāsiddhim tapasvine/ It appears that this side of Lanka, which has sofar not been seen by me there is the Ashoka Vaatika, which incidentally known for plentiful fruits and roots and I have so far not visited in this part of Lanka in the course of my mission of 'Sitanveshana'. Just as Maha Tapasvis would subue even Maha Rakshasaas, may be I might get success for the thrill of Rama and relief of Devi Sita. Then Hanuman prayed to Devaadis as follows: namo 'stu rāmāya salakṣmaṇāya; devyai ca tasyai janakātmajāyai, namo 'stu rudrendrayamānilebhyo; namo 'stu candrārkamarudganebhyah/ sa tebhyas tu namaskṛtvā sugrīvāya ca mārutih, diśah sarvāh samālokya aśokavanikām prati/ Namaste to Lakshmana sahita Shri Rama, Janakanandini Sita Devi, to Rudra-Indra-Yama- Vayu and samasta devas- to Chandra-Agni-Marutganas; like wise to Sugriva too. May the Ashta Dashas do please watch me with their sanction and blessings as Pavana Kumara Anjana Putra as he enters Ashoka Vatika for the accomplisment of Swami Karya of Devi Sita darshana! samksipto 'yam mayātmā ca rāmārthe rāvaṇasya ca, siddhim me samvidhāsyanti devāḥ sarṣigaṇās tv iha/ brahmā svayambhūr bhagavān devās caiva disantu me, siddhim agnis ca vāyus ca puruhūtas ca vajradhṛt/ varuṇaḥ pāśahastaś ca somādityai tathaiva ca, aśvinau ca mahātmānau marutah sarva eva c/ siddhim sarvāni bhūtāni bhūtānām caiva yah prabhuh, dāsyanti mama ye cānye adrstāh pathi gocarāh/ Anjaneya futher stated: 'Keeping in view of the singular objective of Shri Rama Karya Siddhi, I am purposively assuming the minute body form; may Rishis and Devas bestow 'siddhi'. May Swayambhu Brahma, anya deva

ganas,taponishtha maharshis, Agni deva-Vayu deva- Vajradhari Indra- Paashadhari Varuna- Soma-Adityas- Ashvini Kumaras-samasta Marudganas-Pancha Bhutas and all those seen and unseen Deva-Devis accomplish 'kaarya siddhi' of Sita-Mukhaaravinda -Darshana. How indeed this outstanding Pativrata Tapasvini had got caught into the control of this 'kshudra-neecha- nara rupak-atyanta daaruna-Rayana!

Sarga Fourteen

While admiring the exquisiteness of the Ashoka Vaatika, Hanuman started musing as to how Devi Sita would be feeling at home as she was stated to be an admirer of Prakriti Soundarya

Sa muhūrtam iva dhyatvā manasā cādhigamya tām, avapluto mahātejāh prākāram tasya veśmanah/ sa tu samhrstasarvāngah prākārastho mahākapih, puspitāgrān vasantādau dadarśa vividhān drumān/ sālān aśokān bhavyām's ca campakām's ca supuspitān, uddālakān nāgavṛkṣām's cūtān kapimukhān api/ athāmravanasamchannām latāsatasamāvrtām, įvāmukta iva nārācah pupluve vrksavātikām/ sa pravisva vicitrām tām vihagair abhināditām, rājataiḥ kāñcanaiś caiva pādapaiḥ sarvatovṛtām/ vihagair mṛgasamghaiś ca vicitrām citrakānanām, uditādityasamkāśām dadarśa hanumān kapiḥ/ vṛtām nānāvidhair vrksaih puspopagaphalopagaih, kokilair bhrngarājaiś ca mattair nityanisevitām/ prahrstamanuje kale mrgapaksisamākule, mattabarhinasamghustām nānādvijaganāvutām/ mārgamāno varārohām rājaputrīm aninditām, sukhaprasuptān vihagān bodhayām āsa vānarah /utpatadbhir dvijaganaih paksaih sālāh samāhatāh, anekavarnā vividhā mumucuh puspavrstavah/ puspāvakīrnah śuśubhe hanumān mārutātmajah, aśokavanikāmadhye yathā puṣpamayo girih/ diśaḥ sarvābhidāvantam vrksasandagatam kapim, drstvā sarvāni bhūtāni vasanta iti menire/ vrksebhyaḥ patitaiḥ puṣpair avakīrṇā pṛthagvidhaih, rarāja vasudhā tatra pramadeva vibhūsitā/ tarasvinā te taravas tarasābhiprakampitāh, kusumāni vicitrāni sasrjuh kapinā tadā/ nirdhūtapatraśikharāh śīrnapuspaphaladrumāh, niksiptavastrābharanā dhūrtā iva parājitāh/ hanūmatā vegavatā kampitās te nagottamāh, puspa parnaphalāny āśu mumucuh puṣpaśālinah/ vihamgasamghair hīnās te skandhamātrāśrayā drumāh, babhūvur agamāh sarve māruteneva nirdhutāh/ vidhūtakeśī vuvatir vathā mrditavarnikā, nispīta śubhadantausthī nakhair dantaiś ca viksatā/ tathā lāṅgūlahastaiś ca caranābhyāṁ ca marditā/ babhūvāśokavanikā prabhagnavarapādapā/ mahālatānām dāmāni vyadhamat tarasā kapiḥ, yathā prāvṛṣi vindhyasya meghajālāni mārutah/ sa tatra manibhūmīś ca rājatīś ca manoramāh, tathā kāñcanabhūmīś ca vicaran dadrśe kapih/ vāpīś ca vividhākārāh pūrnāh paramavārinā, mahārhair manisopānair upapannās tatas tatah/ muktāpravālasikatā sphatikāntarakuttimāh, kāñcanais tarubhiś citrais tīrajair upaśobhitāh/ phullapadmotpalavanāś cakravākopakūjitāh, natyūharutasamghustā hamsasārasanāditāh/ dīrghābhir drumayuktābhih saridbhiś ca samantatah, amṛtopamatoyābhih śivābhir upasamskṛtāh/ latāśatair avatatāh santānakasamāvṛtāḥ, nānāgulmāvṛtavanāḥ karavīrakṛtāntarāḥ/ tato 'mbudha rasamkāśam pravrddhasikharam girim, vicitrakūṭam kūṭais ca sarvatah parivāritam/silāgṛhair avatatam nānāvrksaih samāvrtam, dadarśa kapiśārdūlo ramvam jagati parvatam/ dadarśa ca nagāt tasmān nadīm nipatitām kapih, ankād iva samutpatya priyasya patitām priyām/ jale nipatitāgrais ca pādapair upaśobhitām, vāryamāṇām iva kruddhām pramadām priyabandhubhiḥ/ punar āvrttatoyām ca dadarśa sa mahākapih, prasannām iva kāntasya kāntām punar upasthitām/ tasyādūrāt sa padminyo nānādvijaganāyutāh, dadarśa kapiśārdūlo hanumān mārutātmajah/ kṛtrimām dīrghikām cāpi pūrnām śītena vārinā, manipravarasopānām muktāsikataśobhitām/ vividhair mṛgasaṃghaiś ca vicitrām citrakānanām, prāsādaih sumahadbhiś ca nirmitair viśvakarmaṇā, kānanaih kṛtrimaiś cāpi sarvataḥ samalamkṛtām/ ye ke cit pādapās tatra puṣpopagaphalopagāḥ, sacchatrāḥ savitardīkāḥ sarve sauvarņavedikāh/ latāpratānair bahubhiḥ parņaiś ca bahubhir vṛtām, kāñcanīm śimśupām ekām dadarśa sa mahākapiḥ/ so 'paśyad bhūmibhāgām's ca gartaprasravaṇāni ca, suvarṇavṛkṣān aparān dadar'sa śikhisamnibhān/ tesām drumānām prabhayā meror iva mahākapih, amanyata tadā vīrah kāñcano 'smīti vānarah/ tām kāncanais taruganair mārutena ca vījitām, kinkinīśatanirghosām dṛstvā vismayam āgamat/ supuspitāgrām rucirām taruņānkurapallavām, tām āruhya mahāvegah simsapām parņasamvṛtām/ ito draksvāmi vaidehīm rāma darśanalālasām, itaś cetaś ca duhkhārtām sampatantīm vadrcchavā/

aśokavanikā ceyam drāham ramyā durātmanah, campakaiś candanaiś cāpi bakulaiś ca vibhūṣitā/ iyam ca nalinī ramyā dvijasamghaniṣevitā, imām sā rāmamahiṣī nūnam eṣyati jānakī/ sā rāma rāmamahiṣī rāghavasya priyā sadā, vanasamcārakuśalā nūnam eṣyati jānakī/ atha vā mrgaśāvākṣī vanasyāsya vicakṣaṇā, vanam eṣyati sā ceha rāmacintānukarśitā/ rāmaśokābhisamtaptā sā devī vāmalocanā, vanavāsaratā nityam eṣyate vanacāriṇī/ vanecarāṇām satatam nūnam spṛhayate purā, rāmasya dayitā bhāryā janakasya sutā satī/ samdhyākālamanāḥ śyāmā dhruvam eṣyati jānakī, nadīm cemām śivajalām samdhyārthe varavarṇinī/ tasyāś cāpy anurūpeyam aśokavanikā śubhā, śubhā yā pārthivendrasya patnī rāmasya sammitā/ yadi jivati sā devī tārādhipanibhānanā, āgamiṣyati sāvaśyam imām śivajalām nadīm/ evam tu matvā hanumān mahātmā; pratīkṣamāṇo manujendrapatnīm, avekṣamāṇaś ca dadarśa sarvam; supuṣpite parṇaghane nilīnaḥ/

As Hanuman slowly approached the Ashoka Vatika with 'Sitaasmarana' profused in his mind, he was thrilled to witness the unmaginable grandeur and the splash of the Prakriti Soundarya as the early break of Vasanta Ritu as dominated by Vasu Devatas heralding colors, flowers and freshness with fruits and singings of birds lke koels and the buzzing music of honey bees. The garden was replete with the tall trees of Saala-Ashoka-Uddhaalaka-Naagakesara-adi maha vrikshas. As Hanuman initiated the search of Devi Sita, the swings of the tree branches were like what the birds comfortably resting in their nests were disturbed. As the Kapivara Anjaneya was jumping back and forth from branch to branch the Rakshasa-Rakshasis were wondering whether Vasanta Ritu Raja having assumed Vaanara Swarupa was moving about in the Vaatika freely. The speed of movement from branch to branch of the trees as like the rains of green leaves, fragrant flowers and sweet fruits down to earth. As though the sweeps of air in the Varsha Ritu tend to break the thick black clouds into pieces Anjana Putra then started breaking the sub-branches of the trees as the groups of Rakshasa-Rakshasis commenced staring up and watching the movements of the Vanara Shekhara. Then the attention of Hanuman got diverted to the flows of sarovaras and the groups of birds flying up or the swimming swans hovering around the lotuses and buzz of bees. Further around he saw from a good distance a massive 'Ashoka Vriksha with a 'Suvarnamaya Vedika' there under. The background of the Vedika was a huge 'maidan'like open space with lines of encircling moutains. Hanuman then mused as to wonderful that he might be able to vision Devi Sita as she might be moving there restlessly. Duraatma Rayana had indeed made this Vatika skillfully no doubt, as the glamour of the trees of chandana-champa-vakulas truly enhance the prettiness. Hopefully, Devi Sita the most beloved of Shri Rama is safe and moves around here. How I wish that she could be seen on the banks of this 'sarovara'. She should have turned weak and dejected, yet might be some what pacified with the beauty of these surroundings. rāmaśokābhisamtaptā sā devī vāmalocanā, vanavāsaratā nityam esyate vanacārinī/ vanecarānām satatam nūnam sprhayate purā, rāmasya dayitā bhāryā janakasya sutā satī/Sundara netravadana Devi Sita must be by now extremely dejected and crying away with none to solace. Yet there could be possible chances of seeing her as she might like to endear Vanavaasi species like me! Thus Hanuman decided to climb and hang around on the Ashoka Tree itself.

Sarga Fifteen

Hanuman yet in his miniature form finally visioned Devi Sita near a 'Chaitya Praasaada Mandira' and identified her and felt ecstatic

Sa vīkṣamāṇas tatrastho mārgamāṇaś ca maithilīm, avekṣamāṇaś ca mahīm sarvām tām anvavaikṣata/santāna kalatābhiś ca pādapair upaśobhitām, divyagandharasopetām sarvataḥ samalamkṛtām/tām sa nandanasamkāśām mṛgapakṣibhir āvṛtām, harmyaprāsādasambādhām kokilākulaniḥsvanām/kāñcanotpalapadmābhir vāpībhir upaśobhitām, bahvāsanakuthopetām bahubhūmigṛhāyutām/sarvartukusumai ramyaiḥ phalavadbhiś ca pādapaiḥ, puṣpitānām aśokānām śriyā sūryodayaprabhām/pradīptām iva tatrastho mārutiḥ samudaikṣata, niṣpatraśākhām vihagaiḥ kriyamāṇām ivāsakṛt, viniṣpatadbhiḥ śataśaś citraiḥ puṣpāvatamsakaiḥ/āmūlapuṣpanicitair aśokaiḥ śokanāśanaiḥ, puṣpabhārātibhāraiś ca spṛśadbhir iva medinīm/ karṇikāraiḥ kusumitaiḥ kimśukaiś ca

supuspitaih, sa deśah prabhayā tesām pradīpta iva sarvatah/ pumnāgāh saptaparnāś ca campakoddālakās tathā, vivrddhamūlā bahavah śobhante sma supuspitāl/ śātakumbhanibhāh ke cit ke cid agniśikhopamāh, nīlāñjananibhāh ke cit tatrāśokāh sahasraśah/ nandanam vividhodyānam citram caitraratham yathā, ativṛttam ivācintyam divyam ramyam śriyā vṛtam/ dvitīyam iva cākāśam puspajyotirganāvutam, pusparatnaśataiś citram pañcamam sāgaram vathā/ sarvartupuspair nicitam pādapair madhugandhibhih, nānāninādair udyānam ramyam mṛgagaṇair dvijaih anekagandhapravaham punyagandham manoramam, sailendram iva gandhādhyam dvitīyam gandhamādanam/ aśokavanikāvām tu tasvām vānarapumgavah, sa dadarśāvidūrastham caitvaprāsādam ūrjitam/ madhye stambhasahasrena sthitam kailāsapānduram, pravālakrtasopānam taptakāñcanavedikam/ musnantam iva caksūmsi dyotamānam iva śriyā, vimalam prāmsubhāvatvād ullikhantam ivāmbaram/ tato malinasamvītām rāksasībhih samāvṛtām, upavāsakṛśām dīnām nihśvasāntīm punah punah, dadarśa śuklapaksādau candrarekhām ivāmalām/ mandaprakhyāyamānena rūpeņa ruciraprabhām, pinaddhām dhūmajālena śikhām iva vibhāvasoḥ/ pītenaikena samvītām klistenottamavāsasā, sapankām analamkārām vipadmām iva padminīm/vrīditām duḥkhasamtaptām parimlānām tapasvinīm, grahenāngārakenaiva pīditām iva rohinīm/ aśrupūrnamukhīm dīnām kršām ananaśena ca, śokadhyānaparām dīnām nityam duḥkhaparāyaṇām/ priyam janam apaśyantīm paśyantīm rākṣasīgaṇam, svagaṇena mṛgīm hīnām śvagaṇābhivṛtām iva/ nīlanāgābhayā veṇyā jaghanam gatayaikayā, sukhārhām duhkhasamtaptām vyasanānām akodivām/ tām samīksya viśālāksīm adhikam malinām kṛśām, tarkayām āsa sīteti kāranair upapādibhih/ hriyamānā tadā tena raksasā kāmarūpinā, yathārūpā hi drstā vai tathārūpeyam anganā/ pūrņacandrānanām subhrūm cāruvṛttapayodharām, kurvantīm prabhayā devīm sarvā vitimirā diśaḥ/ tām nīlakeśīm bimbausthīm sumadhyām supratisthitām, sītām padmapalāśākṣīm manmathasya ratim yathā/ iṣṭām sarvasya jagataḥ pūrṇacandraprabhām iva, bhūmau sutanum āsīnām niyatām iva tāpasīm/ nihśvāsabahulām bhīrum bhujagendravadhūm iva, śokajālena mahatā vitatena na rājatīm/ samsaktām dhūmajālena śikhām iva vibhāvasoh, tām smṛtīm iva samdighdām rddhim nipatitām iva/ vihatām iva ca śraddhām āśām pratihatām iva, sopasargām yathā siddhim buddhim sakalusām iva/ abhūtenāpavādena kīrtim nipatitām iva, rāmoparodhavyathitām rakşoharanakarsitām/ abalām mṛgasāvākṣīm vīkṣamānām tatas tatah, bāṣpāmbupratipūrnena krsnavaktrāksipaksmanā, vadanenāprasannena nihśvasantīm punah punah/malapankadharām dīnām mandanārhām amanditām, prabhām naksatrarājasva kālameghair ivāvrtām/ tasva samdidihe buddhir muhuḥ sītām nirīkṣya tu, āmnāyānām ayogena vidyām prasithilām iva/ duḥkhena bubudhe sītām hanumān analamkrtām, samskārena vathāhīnām vācam arthāntaram gatām/ tām samīksva viśālāksīm rājaputrīm aninditām, tarkayām āsa sīteti kāranair upapādayan/ vaidehyā yāni cāṅgesu tadā rāmo 'nvakīrtayat, tāny ābharanajālāni gātraśobhīny alaksayat/ sukrtau karnavestau ca śvadaṁstrau ca susamsthitau, manividrumacitrāni hastesv ābharanāni ca/ śyāmāni cirayuktatvāt tathā samsthānavanti ca, tāny evaitāni manye 'ham yāni rāmo 'vnakīrtayat/ tatra yāny avahīnāni tāny aham nopalakṣaye, yāny asyā nāvahīnāni tānīmāni na samśayah/ pītam kanakapaṭṭābham srastam tad vasanam śubham, uttarīyam nagāsaktam tadā drstam plavamgamail/bhūsanāni ca mukhyāni drstāni dharanītale, anayaiyāpayiddhāni syanayanti mahānti ca/idam ciragrhītatyād yasanam klistayattaram, tathā hi nūnam tad varnam tathā śrīmad vathetarat/ iyam kanakavarnāngī rāmasya mahisī priyā, pranastāpi satī yasya manaso na praṇaśyati/ iyam sā yat krte rāmaś caturbhiḥ paritapyate, kāruṇyenānrśamsyena śokena madanena ca/ strī pranasteti kārunyād āśritety ānrśamsyatah, patnī nasteti śokena priyeti madanena ca/ asyā devyā yathā rūpam aṅgapratyaṅgasausthavam, rāmasya ca yathārūpaṁ tasyeyam asiteksanā/ asyā devyā manas tasmims tasya cāsyām pratisthitam, teneyam sa ca dharmātmā muhūrtam api jīvat/ duşkaram kurute rāmo ya imām mattakāśinīm, sītām vinā mahābāhur muhūrtam api jīvati/ evam sītām tadā dṛṣṭvā hṛṣṭaḥ pavanasambhavaḥ, jagāma manasā rāmam praśaśamsa ca tam prabhum/

From up around the height of the Ashoka tree in the Ashoka Vana, Hanuman was rejoicing the grand view of Ashoka Vana which was similar to the Devodyana Nandana Vana of Swagaloka, or the Chaitra Vana of Kubera both being extremely tranquil, celastial and 'dedeepta maana' of glitter. As this was speard all over with heavenly fragrance with the varied 'pushpa sampada', especially in the Vasanta Ritu, that 'udyaana vana' was similar like that of the top of 'Gandhamaadana'. Vaanara Pramukha Anjaneya

viewed a well rounded elevated Mandira popular as 'Chaitra Mandira' of pure marble construction like Kailasa Madira surrounded by ugly and grotesque Rakshasis; tato malinasamvītām rāksasībhih samāvṛtām, upavāsakṛśām dīnām niḥśvasāntīm punaḥ punaḥ, dadarśa śuklapakṣādau candrarekhām ivāmalām/ mandaprakhyāyamānena rūpeņa ruciraprabhām, pinaddhām dhūmajālena sikhām iva vibhāvasoh/Those frightening and disgusting Rakshasis encircled a stree who appeared to have been fasting for days and hence was weak and pitiable. She was of the body frame that was weak, thinned down, exhausted and fatigued like that of Chandrama of the very first night of Shukla Paksha . Hanuman suspected that woman of virtue under harassment by the cruel Rakshasis. On the basis of various descriptions, indications and signs, Hanuman was able to identify 'her'; indeed her features, charateristics were recalled. She was robed in yellow silk, which was unclean and dusty; she was 'alankaara viheena' yet beautiful and of arresting feaures of charm. Hanuman felt that she pale and unspirited like the Pushkarini Sarovara without lotuses. That tapasvini was in enormous sadness and misery as if the Devi Rohini were at the time of Chandra grahana. Accentuated by her fastings she was weeping away in her condition of physical weakness. Instead of being surrounded by her affectionable persons, she got subjected to the company of Raakshasis all around as is an attractive deer was encircled by wild and ever barking dogs. Indeed her long and dark 'veni' down her waist was like a black 'naagini' just as blue rows of tall trees on earth shine against the background of blue clouds of the high sky! She was born of comfort and luxurious family but right now was tormented to misery and fear. Yet she was brave, ready to face impediments of hard living, but now pathetic, clad in dirty robes, weak in body and mind, being under contantly and readily subjected to threats and due to various reasons. tām samīkṣya viśālākṣīm adhikam malinām kṛśām, tarkayām āsa sīteti kāraṇair upapādibhih/ Hanuman had almost decided apparently on the basis of the similarity of circumstances, interpretation and decisiveness as per 'Saankhya Shasrta'

[Vishleshana on Sankhya Shastra vide Brahma Sutras:

Brahma Sutras too explain this vide Chapter I on Samanvaya: Understanding by Interpretation:.

Upanishads seek to imply the very purport of Vedas. These comprehend the basis of Awareness about the original cause of Existence and of the Universe. It is only by that Supreme Conciousness that the Ancient Sciptures seek to comprehend but not by a secondary Source of what is loosly designated as the Self Consciousness as Sankhya Yogas interpret; indeed, the Self as an individual is Brahman and is not a separate entity either. This is what Upanishads and Sciptures based on the ancient Scripts handed down the ages about the awareness of Brahman from whom the Universe originates, sustains, terminates and regerminates again and again; it is that Supreme Energy as the Source of Vedas, which is the uniform topic of Vedanta Scripts, who is admitted to be the Cause of the World as argued and decidedly established. Brahman is not the 'Koshamaya' or of Pancha Koshas or body sheaths of Annamaya-Pranamaya-Manomaya-Vijnanamaya and Anandamaya as based on Saamkhya Thought but is indeed the Supreme Self of Nirguna Niraakara or alternatively of the 'Saakaara Saguna Swarupa' or of Form and features viz. the Magnificent Bliss that is in turn reflected as the Antaratma or of the Individual Self of all the Beings in Srishti. It is this Blissful Brahman who is not only the Antaratma or the Individual Conciousness; this Paramartma is not only Antaratma, but also the Pancha Bhutas, Space, Light, the Praana or Vital Force, the Illumination within and without. It is that Singular Entity, The Bhokta and the Bhojya or the Cause and the Effect, the Material Cuase, the one inside the 'Daharakasha' or the Sky within the invisible cavity of the Heart and the Sky above, the Pancha Bhutas, the Panchendriyas, Sleep and Death, above all the Cause an Effect. Indeed, Brahman is the Material Cause of the Universee.!]

Further Stanzaas continued: hriyamānā tadā tena raksasā kāmarūpinā, yathārūpā hi drstā vai tathārūpeyam aṅganā/ pūrnacandrānanāṁ subhrūṁ cāruvrttapayodharām, kurvantīṁ prabhayā devīṁ sarvā vitimirā diśah/ tām nīlakeśīm bimbauṣṭhīm sumadhyām supratiṣṭhitām, sītām padmapalāśākṣīm manmathasya ratim yathā/ iṣṭām sarvasya jagataḥ pūrṇacandraprabhām iva, bhūmau sutanum āsīnām nivatām iva tāpasīm/ Hanuman felt that Devi Sita seemed to keep her form and face in precisely the same similar when the Rakshasa Ravana had forcibly abducted her. She should have been in her earlier form when her countenance must have been bright like Purnachandra and her chest too encircled firm in all the directions. Her excellent body figure then, but alas now lying seated, neglected and dirty now. As she was shedding agitated tears now, she was like smokes spreading all over from 'agni jwaalaas'. tām smṛtīm iva samdighdām rddhim nipatitām iva, vihatām iva ca śraddhām āśām pratihatām iva, sopasargām yathā siddhim buddhim sakalusām iva/ abhūtenāpavādena kīrtim nipatitām iva, rāmoparodhavyathitām raksoharanakarśitām/ Devi Sita appeared to have thinned down her memory power, accomplishments, patience, aspiration, contentment, clean and clear mindedness, and a sense of frustration. She was dispirited due to her disability to serve Shri Rama and feeling helpless looking lost in her inner self. $t\bar{a}\dot{m}$ samīksva viśālāksīm rājaputrīm aninditām, tarkavām āsa sīteti kāranair upapādavan/vaidehvā vāni cāngeşu tadā rāmo 'nvakīrtayat, tāny ābharaṇajālāni gātraśobhīny alakṣayat/ Now, having examined all the details of the circumstantial evidences, Hanuman confirmed that this broad eyed rupa sundari and maha saadhvi should certainly be Devi Sita herself. Further, his attention was drawn to her body ornaments. He had at once realised that Shri Rama used to describe Devi Sita's ornaments in great detail. pītam kanakapaṭṭābham srastam tad vasanam śubham, uttarīyam nagāsaktam tadā dṛṣṭam plavamgamaih/bhūṣaṇāni ca mukhyāni dṛṣṭāni dharaṇītale, anayaivāpaviddhāni svanavanti mahānti ca/ idam ciragṛhītatvād vasanam kliṣṭavattaram, tathā hi nūnam tad varṇam tathā śrīmad yathetarat/ Hanuman recalled that the ornaments stated to have been dropped by her along with her yellow upper garment like an over -cover and the golden ornaments on her body as collected by the Vaanaras up on the mountain top. Then he examined that she was neither ornamented similarly nor had such an upper vastra. iyam sā yat kṛte rāmaś caturbhiḥ paritapyate, kāruṇyenānṛśamsyena śokena madanena ca/ Hanuman had finally concluded that what was hesitatingly felt would now get confirmed that in this world the lady of Shri Rama, especially since she was bestowed with four essential reasons of her kindness, forgiveness, extreme dejection and love for all the Beings on Earth! Thus having found Devi Sita, Hanuman was extremely happy for the close of the chapters of the mission of 'Sitaanveshana' to a glorious finality!

Sarga Sixteen

<u>Hanuman having finally ensured that Devi Sita was visioned, felt that as to why she, an outstanding</u> Pativrata, was being harassed by Ravana and the disgusting, yet sad, scenes of her treatment conditions.

Praśasya tu praśastavyām sītām tām haripumgavaḥ, guṇābhirāmam rāmam ca punaś cintāparo 'bhavat/ sa muhūrtam iva dhyātvā bāṣpaparyākulekṣaṇaḥ, sītām āśritya tejasvī hanumān vilalāpa ha/ mānyā guruvinītasya lakṣmaṇasya gurupriyā, yadi sītāpi duḥkhārtā kālo hi duratikramaḥ/ rāmasya vyavasāyajñā lakṣmaṇasya ca dhīmataḥ, nātyartham kṣubhyate devī gaṅgeva jaladāgame/ tulyaśīla - vayovrttām tulyābhijanalakṣaṇām, rāghavo 'rhati vaidehīm tam ceyam asitekṣaṇā/ tām dṛṣṭvā navahemābhām lokakāntām iva śriyam, jagāma manasā rāmam vacanam cedam abravīt/ asyā hetor viśālākṣyā hato vālī mahābalaḥ,rāvaṇapratimo vīrye kabandhaś ca nipātitaḥ/ virādhaś ca hataḥ samkhye rākṣaso bhīmavikramaḥ, vane rāmeṇa vikramya mahendreṇeva śambaraḥ/ caturdaśasahasrāṇi rakṣasām bhīmakarmaṇām, nihatāni janasthāne śarair agniśikhopamaih/ kharaś ca nihataḥ samkhye triśirāś ca nipātitaḥ, dūṣaṇaś ca mahātejā rāmeṇa viditātmanā/ aiśvaryam vānarāṇām ca durlabham vālipālitam, asyā nimitte sugrīvaḥ prāptavāml lokasatkṛtam/ sāgaraś ca mayā krāntaḥ śrīmān nadanadīpatiḥ, asyā hetor viśālākṣyāḥ purī ceyam nirīkṣitā/ yadi rāmaḥ samudrāntām medinīm parivartayet, asyāḥ kṛte jagac cāpi yuktam ity eva me matiḥ/ rājyam vā triṣu lokeṣu sītā vā janakātmajā, trailokyarājyam sakalam sītāyā nāpnuvāt kalām/ iyam sā dharmaśīlasya maithilasya mahātmanah, sutā janakarājasya sītā

bhartrdrdhavratā/ utthitā medinīm bhittvā ksetre halamukhaksate, padmarenunibhaih kīrnā śubhaih kedārapāmsubhih/ vikrāntasyāryaśīlasya samyugesv anivartinah, snusā daśarathasyaisā jyesthā rājño yaśasvinī/ dharmajñasya kṛtajñasya rāmasya viditātmanah, iyam sā dayitā bhāryā rākṣasī vaśam āgatā/ sarvān bhogān parityajya bhartṛsnehabalāt kṛtā, acintayitvā duḥkhāni praviṣṭā nirjanaṁ vanam/ samtustā phalamūlena bhartrsusrūsane ratā, vā parām bhajate prītim vane 'pi bhavane vathā/ sevam kanakavarnāngī nityam susmitabhāṣiṇī, sahate yātanām etām anarthānām abhāginī/imām tu śīlasampannām drastum icchati rāghavaḥ, rāvaṇena pramathitām prapām iva pipāsitaḥ/ asyā nūnam punar lābhād rāghavah prītim eşyati, rājā rājyaparibhrastah punah prāpyeva medinīm/ kāmabhogaih parityaktā hīnā bandhujanena ca, dhārayaty ātmano deham tatsamāgamakānksinī/naisā paśyati rāksasyo nemān puspaphaladrumān, ekasthahrdayā nūnam rāmam evānupaśyati/ bhartā nāma param nāryā bhūsanam bhūsanād api, esā hi rahitā tena śobhanārhā na śobhate/ duskaram kurute rāmo hīno vad anayā prabhuh, dhārayaty ātmano deham na duhkhenāvasīdati/ imām asitakeśāntām śatapatranibhekṣaṇām, sukhārhām duhkhitām dṛṣṭvā mamāpi vyathitam manah/ kṣitikṣamā puskarasamnibhāksī; vā raksitā rāghavalaksmanābhvām, sā rāksasībhir vikrteksanābhih; samraksvate samprati vrksamūle/ himahatanalinīva nastašobhā; vvasanaparamparavā nipīdvamānā, sahacararahiteva cakravākī; janakasutā kṛpaṇām daśām prapannā/asyā hi puṣpāvanatāgraśākhāḥ; śokam dṛḍham vai janayaty aśokāḥ,himavyapāyena ca mandaraśmir; abhyutthito naikasahasraraśmiḥ/ ity evam artham kapir anvaveksya; sīteyam ity eva nivistabuddhih, samśritya tasmin nisasāda vṛkse; balī harīnām ṛsabhas tarasvī/

Having finally succeded in discovering Devi Sita, Hanuman began to feel to witness the extremely pitiable conditions that the Maha Saadhvi had to find her. He was hurt and pained that she was being treated to her: 'Aho! She was taught and trained by stalwart 'guru jana' and was a symbol of Vidya and Vinaya or knowledge and politeness, but the time cycle had been too harsh on her. Like the arrival of Varsha Ritu, the sacred Ganga was rattled, she has had to pass through the merciless times even notwithstanding the heroism of Shri Rama and the unflinching loyalty of Lakshmana. Her charactaristics of sheelata-svabhava-and avastha were similar to those of Ramachandra himself as her family background was equally alike. Then Hanuman had a retrospective thinking of Rama had the extraordinary ability of exterminating Vaali himself who had the 'amsha' of Lord Indra, besides pulling down Kabandha to near-death.

[Vishleshana on Rama's killing Kabandha as per his latter's 'Atma Katha' vide Sarga Sixty Nine of Valmiki Aranya Khanda: .Karbandha narrates his 'atma katha' the autobiography to Rama Lakshmanas stating that in the distant past he was a Maha Rakshasa of notoriety terrifying Maharshis. As the Rakshasa assumed a huge and intolerable form, sought to terrify a Rishi named Sthulashira, the Rishi was angry and cursed him to assume that hideous form for ever: 'Rakshasa! You continue this very nasty swarupa for ever till you die. Then Kabandha was afraid of the consequent form and requested for relief and then the Rishi forevisioned to say that only when Rama Lakshmanas the epic heros should get caught by you and then finally slice off both of your shoulders, then you would attain 'mukti'. As Kabandha since became the vikrita swarupa as a result of the Maha Munis's 'shaapa', the Rakshasa was mellowed down and undertook severest possible tapasya to Brahma Deva. In turn, Brahma was pleased and granted the Rakshasa's wish for longevity. Then Kabandha having secured Brahma Deva's blessing for longevity, his demonic instinct was puffed up and attacked Lord Devendra himself. Devendra then threw away his peerless 'vajraayudha' and as a result, Maha Rakshasa Kabandha's lower body portion got upside down! Then I asked Indra: Deva Raja! You had utilised your invincible 'vajrayutha' and consequently, my very physical form changed transformed; how could I survive without food while Brahma blessed me with longevity. Then Indra Deva helped me to extend my both the arms by a yojana each so that the streach of the hands could be conveniently extended so that the food could reach right into the mouth! Indra further fore-visioned that Rama Lakshmana's would get caught in the grip of the rakshasa but they would severe the Rakshasa's shoulders and get relieved for mukti.]

Stanza 9-10 onward continued: caturdaśasahasrāni raksasām bhīmakarmanām, nihatāni janasthāne śarair agniśikhopamaih/kharaś ca nihatah samkhye triśirāś ca nipātitah, dūsanaś ca mahātejā rāmena viditātmanā/ aiśvaryam vānarāṇām ca durlabham vālipālitam, asyā nimitte sugrīvaḥ prāptavāml lokasatkrtam/ Hanuman had a retrospective as follows: Rama had all by himself- even as Lakshmana left from scene of the battle killed fourteen thousand Rakshasaas, besides Dushana- Trishira-Kharas [vide Sargas Twenty Six- Twenty Seven and Thiry Valmiki Ramayana Aranya Khanda J Then Rama befriended Sugriva- killed Vaali- enabled to cross Maha Samudra. Then he was instrumental to cross the Maha Samudra- reached Lankapuri- searched for Devi Sita all over- and finally succeeded in identifying her. Devi Sita is an ideal pativrata, the eldest daughter-in-law. Most unfortunately, she was kidnapped by Ravanaasura. Shri Rama who is a symbol of Dharma and Atma jnaana. But Devi Sita out of sheer dedication to her husband, had sacrificed the pleasures of life and accompanied him on her own choice entered the frightful forest life. She was conented with phala-moola -ahaara and discarded pleasures of royal life, having a smile with patience and contentment. She assumed all those qualties only for Rama. Neither she was frightened of Raakshas, nor clamoured for food, much less for dhana-dhanya-vastuvaahanaas. bhartā nāma param nārvā bhūsanam bhūsanād api, esā hi rahitā tena śobhanārhā na śobhate/ duṣkaram kurute rāmo hīno yad anayā prabhuḥ, dhārayaty ātmano deham na duḥkhenāvasīdati/ imām asitakeśāntām śatapatranibhekṣaṇām, sukhārhām duḥkhitām dṛṣṭvā mamāpi vyathitam manaḥ/ Hanuman further kept on delberating further: 'Indeed, it is common knowledge that women as a race are extremely enamored of precious ornaments, excellent food and luxuries of living, but Devi Sita is an unique exception. Her living is purposeless without her dearmost Shri Rama. By realising this only she is still braving and withstanding her ongoing tribulations and miseries. Aho! She is of the perseverance and firm determination to exist only and merely for her dearmost husband as seated right before and surrounded by the frightening looks of the Rakshasis'. Hanuman then declared: It is common knowledge that a unique woman of Devi Sita's magnificence is well proven, but her misery right now unparalleled too. Having affirmed thus Maha Vanara- Pavana Putra Anajanya was seated on the Maha Vriksha uttering: 'Haa Devi Sita!' again and again.

Sarga Seventeen

<u>Hanuman was nodoubt happy to see Devi Sita most closely with sympathy but most contrarily was repulsed with hatred at the sight of the Rakshasa strees encircling her</u>

Tataḥ kumudaṣaṇḍābho nirmalaṃ nirmalaḥ svayam, prajagāma nabhaś candro hamso nīlam ivodakam/ sācivyam iva kurvan sa prabhayā nirmalaprabhah, candramā raśmibhih śītaih siseve pavanātmajam/ sa dadarśa tatah sītām pūrnacandranibhānanām, śokabhārair iva nyastām bhārair nāvam ivāmbhasi/ didrkşamāno vaidehīm hanūmān mārutātmajah, sa dadarśāvidūrasthā rākṣasīr ghoradarśanāh/ ekāksīm ekakarṇām ca karṇaprāvaraṇām tathā, akarṇām śankukarṇām ca mastakocchvāsanāsikām/ atikāyottamāngīm ca tanudīrghaśirodharām, dhvastakeśīm tathākeśīm keśakambaladhārinīm/ lambakarnalalātām ca lambodarapavodharām, lambausthīm cibukausthīm ca lambāsvām lambajānukām/ hrasvām dīrghām ca kubjām ca vikaṭām vāmanām tathā, karālām bhugnavastrām ca pingākṣīm vikṛtānanām/ vikṛtāh piṅgalāh kālīh krodhanāh kalahapriyāh, kālāyasamahāśūlakūtamudgaradhārinīh/ varāhamŗgaśārdūlamahiṣājaśivā mukhāḥ, gajoṣṭrahayapādāś ca nikhātaśiraso 'parāḥ/ ekahastaikapādāś ca kharakarnyaśvakarnikāh, gokarnīr hastikarnīś ca harikarnīs tathāparāh/ anāsā atināsāś ca tirvan nāsā vināsikāh, gajasamnibhanāsāś ca lalātocchvāsanāsikāh/ hastipādā mahāpādā gopādāh pādacūlikāḥ, atimātraśirogrīvā atimātrakucodarīḥ/ atimātrāsya netrāś ca dīrghajihvānakhās tathā, ajāmukhīr hastimukhīr gomukhīḥ sūkarīmukhīḥ/ hayoṣṭrakharavaktrāś ca rākṣasīr ghoradarśanāḥ, śūlamudgarahastās ca krodhanāḥ kalahapriyāḥ/ karālā dhūmrakesīs ca rakṣasīr vikṛtānanāḥ, pibantīḥ satatam pānam sadā māmsasurāpriyāh/ māmsasonitadigdhāngīr māmsasonitabhojanāh, tā dadarsa kapiśrestho romaharsanadarśanāh/ skandhavantam upāsīnāh parivārya vanaspatim, tasyādhastāc ca tām devīm rājaputrīm aninditām/ lakṣayām āsa lakṣmīvān hanūmāñ janakātmajām, niṣprabhām śokasamtaptām malasamkulamūrdhajām/ ksīnapunyām cyutām bhūmau tārām nipatitām iva, cāritrya

vyapadeśāḍhyām bhartrdarśanadurgatām/ bhūṣaṇair uttamair hīnām bhartrvātsalyabhūṣitām, rākṣasādhipasamruddhām bandhubhiś ca vinākrtām/ viyūthām simhasamruddhām baddhām gajavadhūm iva, candralekhām payodānte śāradābhrair ivāvrtām/ kliṣṭarūpām asamsparṣād ayuktām iva vallakīm, tām bhartrhite yuktām ayuktām rakṣasām vaśe/ aśokavanikāmadhye śokasāgaram āplutām, tābhiḥ parivrtām tatra sagrahām iva rohiṇīm/ dadarśa hanumān devīm latām akusumām iva, sā malena ca digdhāngī vapuṣā cāpy alamkrtā/ mrṇālī paṅkadighdeva vibhāti ca na bhāti ca, malinena tu vastreṇa parikliṣṭena bhāminīm/ samvrtām mrgaśāvākṣīm dadarśa hanumān kapiḥ, tām devīm dīnavadanām adīnām bhartrtejasā/ rakṣitām svena śīlena sītām asitalocanām, tām dṛṣṭvā hanumān sītām mrgaśāvanibhekṣaṇām/ mrgakanyām iva trastām vīkṣamāṇām samantataḥdahantīm iva niḥśvāsair vrkṣān pallavadhāriṇaḥ/ samghātam iva śokānām duḥkhasyormim ivotthitām, tām kṣāmām suvibhaktāṅgīm vinābharaṇaśobhinīm/Harshajaani cha soshruni taam drushtwaa Madirekshanaam, mumocha anumaantatra namaschake Ragkavam/ Namas kritvaatha Ramaaya Lakshmanaa cha veeryavaan, Sitaadarshanasamdristo Hanuman sammritobhavat/

Engulfed by the extreme distress and sorrow for Devi Sita, Vayuputra Hanuman from a far nearer distance seated on a tree branch for a closer view, witnessed the most pitiable condition of Devi Sita whose visage was like of Purnachandra, as she was supressed her sobbings like the forceful waves of the Sea. He then had a closer view of the grotesque Rakshasis too. ekāksīm ekakarnām ca karnaprāvaranām tathā, akarnām śankukarnām ca mastakocchvāsanāsikām/ atikāyottamāngīm ca tanudīrghaśirodharām, dhvastakeśīm tathākeśīm keśakambaladhārinīm/ lambakarnalalātām ca lambodarapayodharām, lambausthīm cibukausthīm ca lambāsvām lambajānukām/ Among the vikrita swarupas of of the Rakshasis were such they had either one eye or one ear; one has a very long and straightened ear like a bed cover, while one did the breathing was done by her nose on her head. Some of the bodies of the Rakshais were giant sized while exceptionally normal rather very rarely. Some of their necks are elongated and some bloated across. Some of their hairs were blown away in portions while some have their hairs were only on their faces only but not on their heads. Some had their ears on the 'lalaata' or the forehead while others on their stomach. Their breasts were invarially sagging as they run or take their steps fast hitting their faces. Some of them had their faces huge while those of orhers were of dwarf size even as bodies were tall and giantlike. hrasvām dīrghām ca kubjām ca vikaṭām vāmanām tathā, karālām bhugnavastrām ca pingākṣīm vikṛtānanām/ vikṛtāḥ pingalāḥ kālīḥ krodhanāḥ kalahapriyāḥ, kālāyasamahāśūlakūtamudgaradhārinīh/varāhamrgaśārdūlamahisājaśivā mukhāh, gajostrahayapādāś ca nikhātaśiraso 'parāh/ The body formations of the surrounding Rarakshasis were of hrasva-deerghakubja-vikata-vaamanakara-vikaraalas-. Invariably, the Rakshasis were of distorted faces and of yellow eyes with squinted and red angered and piercing looks. Very many rakshasis had bodies of bizarre and weird, dark -bluish-yellow- and angerd red, everedy to quarrel and fight among themselves with cloud bursting cacophony, while they were all armoured with huge shulaas-long and piercing swords, kayachaas. Futher the face formations of the rakshasis were of varied animals of pigs, deers, lions, goats, elephants; some were slow like camels and fast like horses of speed and jumps. ekahastaikapādāś ca kharakarnyaśvakarnikāḥ, gokarnīr hastikarnīś ca harikarnīs tathāparāḥ/ anāsā atināsāś ca tiryan nāsā vināsikāḥ, gajasamnibhanāsāś ca lalāṭocchvāsanāsikā/ Some of the Rakshasis were either single handed or single legged; some with the ears donkeys or of horses; some of cows, or flappy like of elephants or loins.Shulamudgaraahastāś ca krodhanāḥ kalahapriyāḥ/ karālā dhūmrakeśīś ca rakṣasīr vikṛtānanāḥ, pibantīḥ satatam pānam sadā māmsasurāpriyāḥ/ Some were armed with spears in hand, or shulas or mudgaras, ready to fight or kill among themselves, ever drunk with madira or other hard drinks. māmsaśonitadigdhāngīr māmsaśonitabhojanāh, tā dadarśa kapiśrestho romaharsanadarśanāh/The rakshasis as thus surrounded around Devi Sita were all smeared with the blood and meat of animals as Hanuman was totally revulsed with. He then kept on thinking about and intently gazing at Devi Sita was seated benumbed with her naturally bright visage yet with unkempt hairs covering it, like a Star of luminosity had fallen from the vicinity of Chandra mandala down to earth. The exemplary Pativrata was thus waiting and waiting on for the arrival of her heroic Shrirama with hopes against hopes. It appeared that a she elephant lost her moorings of 'swajanaas' of the kith and kin and was having to face a cruel

lion; indeed Devi Sita was then under the cruel duress of Ravnaasura. It was that precise stage and condition of 'Sitaadarshana', Veera Hanuman was gratified- in fact thrilled, undoubtedly. All the same: Harshajaani cha soshruni taam drushtwaa Madirekshanaam, mumocha anumaantatra namaschake Ragkavam/ Namas kritvaatha Ramaaya Lakshmanaa cha veeryavaan, Sitaadarshanasamdristo Hanuman sammritobhavat/ Hanuman was excited to vision her and dropped 'ananda baashpaas' or tears of joy and fulfillment, while mentally conveying his heart felt greetings to Shri Rama Lakshmanas; eventually hid himself for a while with hopes and aspirations ahead.

Sarga Eighteen

Ravanasura along with his beloved females enters Ashoka Vatika and the spot where Devi Sita was being guarded as seen by Anjaneya in his miniature form

Tathā viprekṣamāṇasya vanam puṣpitapādapam, vicinvataś ca vaidehīm kim cic cheṣā niśābhavat/ sadangavedavidusām kratupravaravājinām, śuśrāva brahmaghosām's ca virātre brahmaraksasām/ atha mangalavāditraih sabdaih srotramanoharaih, prābodhyata mahābāhur dasagrīvo mahābalah/ vibudhya tu yathākālam rākṣasendraḥ pratāvapān, srastamālyāmbaradharo vaidehīm anvacintayat/ bhṛśam niyuktas tasyām ca madanena madotkatah, na sa tam rāksasah kāmam śaśākātmani gūhitum/ sa sarvābharanair yukto bibhrac chriyam anuttamām, tām nagair vividhair justām sarvapuspaphalopagaih/ vṛtām puṣkariṇībhiś ca nānāpuṣpopaśobhitām, sadāmadaiś ca vihagair vicitrām paramādbhutām/ īhāmṛgaiś ca vividhaiś vṛtām dṛṣṭimanoharaih, vīthīḥ samprekṣamāṇaś ca maṇikāñcanatoraṇāh/ nānāmṛgagaṇākīrṇām phalaiḥ prapatitair vṛtām, aśokavanikām eva prāviśat samtatadrumām/ anganāśatamātram tu tam vrajantam anuvrajat, mahendram iva paulastyam devagandharvayositah/ dīpikāh kāńcanīh kāś cij jagrhus tatra yositah, bālavyajanahastāś ca tālavṛntāni cāparāh/ kāńcanair api bhrngārair jahruh salilam agratah, mandalāgrān asīms caiva grhyānyāh prsthato yayuh/kā cid ratnamayīm pātrīm pūrnām pānasya bhāminī, daksinā daksinenaiva tadā jagrāha pāninā/ rājahamsapratīkāśam chatram pūrņaśaśiprabham, sauvarņadaņdam aparā gṛhītvā pṛṣṭhato yayau/ nidrāmadaparītāksvo rāvanasvottamastrivah, anujagmuh patim vīram ghanam vidvullatā iva/ tatah kāñcīninādam ca nūpurānām ca nihsvanam, śuśrāva paramastrīnām sa kapir mārutātmajah/ tam cāpratimakarmāṇam acintyabalapauruṣam, dvāradeśam anuprāptam dadarśa hanumān kapiḥ/ dīpikābhir anekābhih samantād avabhāsitam, gandhatailāvasiktābhir dhriyamānābhir agratah/ kāmadarpamadair yuktam jihmatāmrāyateksanam, samaksam iva kandarpam apaviddha śarāsanam/ mathitāmrtaphenābham arajo vastram uttamam, salīlam anukarsantam vimuktam saktam angade/ tam patravitape līnah patrapuspaghanāvṛtah, samīpam upasamkrāntam nidhyātum upacakrame/aveksamānaś ca tato dadarśa kapikuñjarah, rūpayauvanasampannā rāvaņasya varastriyah/ tābhih parivṛto rājā surūpābhir mahāyaśāḥ, tanmṛgadvijasaṃghuṣṭaṃ praviṣṭaḥ pramadāvanam/ ksībo vicitrābharaṇah śankukarno mahābalah, tena viśravasah putrah sa dṛṣṭo rākṣasādhipah/ vṛṭaḥ paramanārībhis tārābhir iva candramāh, tam dadarśa mahātejās tejovantam mahākapi/ rāvano 'vam mahābāhur iti samcintva vānarah, avapluto mahātejā hanūmān mārutātmajah/ sa tathāpy ugratejāh san nirdhūtas tasva tejasā, patraguhyāntare sakto hanūmān samvrto 'bhavat/ sa tām asitakeśāntām suśroņīm samhatastanīm, didṛksur asitāpāṅgīm upāvartata rāvanah/

Hanuman then had his full night's sleep even while pondering over as to how Devi Sita was ensnared by Ravana notwithstading the heroism of Shri Rama. As the early hours of the following day, he heard the 'mangala vadyaas' to wake up the King Ravana. The latter then rose from his bed with the amorous thoughts of Devi Sita and having got ready with his attractive body ornaments entered the Ashoka Vaatika which was fresh with cool winds swaying the trees and plants and the fragrance of the just sprouted flowers all around. He was accompanied by some hundred beautiful and well ornamented 'kanyaas' futher enhancing the grandeur and stateliness of the atmosphere as if Lord Indra was accompanied by deva-gandharva kanyas entering the 'paarijaata vana'. Like the clouds are accompanied by lightnings, some of the damsels were behind the King of Asuras, some ahead of him, while others

were encircling him. It looked that Ravana was full of desire for Devi Sita who was like a natural beauty 'par excellence' like a pearl peeping out an oyster. tataḥ kāñcīninādam ca nūpurānām ca niḥsvanam, śuśrāva paramastrīṇām sa kapir mārutātmajaḥ/ tam cāpratimakarmāṇam acintyabalapauruṣam, dvāradeśam anuprāptam dadarśa hanumān kapiḥ/ Then Vayunandana Hanuman then heard the jingling sounds of very attractive damsels with their sprightly faces and slim figures with ornaments and fragrant smells. There again he saw and keenly observed the unbelievable personality of the hefty and strong physique of Ravana the star attraction of 'bala-pourusha' mahaasura at the entrance of Ashoka Vaatika. Ravana was replete with 'kaama- darpa-mada' or passion-power and pride with enlarged- red-and sharp eyes with fixed looks. He was dressed with extremley decorated chest and clothes with dangling white diamonds and sparkling milky pearls studded with gold like Kama Deva Mammadha without his pushpa baanaas and dhanush. The encirling sundaris of youthful ebullience too were noticed by Hanuman as if glittering Stars were around the Moon. That was how the Vishravaaka Muni Putra Ravana was glanced by Hanuman.

Sarga Ninteen

Even with a single nasty and desolate glance of the detestable Ravanasura, Devi Sita was drownded in gloom-fear-and apprehension as noticed by Hanuman

Tasminn eva tataḥ kāle rājaputrī tv aninditā, rūpayauvanasampannam bhūṣanottamabhūṣitam/ tato dṛṣṭvaiva vaidehī rāvaṇam rākṣasādhipam, prāvepata varārohā pravāte kadalī yathā/ ūrubhyām udaram chādya bāhubhyām ca payodharau,upaviṣṭā viśālākṣī rudantī varavarninī/ daśagrīvas tu vaidehīm raksitām rāksasīganaih, dadarśa dīnām duhkhārtam nāvam sannām ivārnave/ asamvrtāyām āsīnām dharanyām samsitavratām, chinnām prapatitām bhūmau śākhām iva vanaspateh, malamandanadigdhāngīm mandanārhām amanditām/ samīpam rājasimhasya rāmasya viditātmanah, samkalpahaya -samyuktair yāntīm iva manorathaih/ śusyantīm rudatīm ekām dhyānaśokaparāyanām, duḥkhasyāntam apaśyantīm rāmām rāmam anuvratām/ veṣṭamānām athāviṣṭām pannagendravadhūm iva, dhūpyamānām graheneva rohinīm dhūmaketunā/ vrttaśīle kule jātām ācāravati dhārmike, punah samskāram āpannām jātam iva ca duskule/ sannām iva mahākīrtim śraddhām iva vimānitām, prajñām iva parikṣīṇām āśāṁ pratihatām iva/ āyatīm iva vidhvastām ājñāṁ pratihatām iva, dīptām iva diśaṁ kāle pūjām apahrtām iva/ padminīm iva vidhvastām hataśūrām camūm iva, prabhām iva tapodhvastām upaksīnām ivāpagām/ vedīm iva parāmrstām śāntām agniśikhām iva, paurnamāsīm iva niśām rāhugrastendumandalām/ utkrstaparnakamalām vitrāsitavihamgamām, hastihastaparāmrstām ākulām padminīm iva/ patišokāturām šuskām nadīm visrāvitām iva, parayā mṛjayā hīnām kṛsnapakse niśām iva/ sukumārīm sujātāngīm ratnagarbhagrhocitām, tapyamānām ivosņena mṛṇālīm aciroddhṛtām/ grhītāmālitām stambhe yūthapena vinākrtām, niḥśvasantīm suduhkhārtām gajarājavadhūm iva/ ekayā dīrghayā venyā śobhamānām ayatnataḥ, nīlayā nīradāpāye vanarājyā mahīm iva/ upavāsena śokena dhyānena ca bhayena ca, pariksīnām krśām dīnām alpāhārām tapodhanām/ āyācamānām duhkhārtām prāñjalim devatām iva, bhāvena raghumukhyasya daśagrīvaparābhavam/ samīkṣamāṇām rudatīm aninditām; supakṣmatāmrāyataśuklalocanām, anuvratām rāmam atīva maithilīm; pralobhayām āsa vadhāva rāvanah/

Hanuman noticed that the blemishless Rajakumari Devi Sita glanced Ravanasura with fear and a sense of apprehension like a plantain tree would wave, shake up and swing by the onslaught of the fearful and harsh winds. Janaka Raja Putri in her helpless state was sobbing away as her tears flowed down her shoulders down to her tight breasts and laps as she was seated in a head drooping posture. As already surrounded by Rakshasis of horror, she was like an ever wavering, semi-sinking torn off boat on the wide and high tided middle of the Maha Sagara, or like a 'Kamalini'floating being pulled down into deep and muddy slush. samīpam rājasimhasya rāmasya viditātmanaḥ, samkalpahaya -samyuktair yāntīm iva manorathaiḥ/suṣyantīm rudatīm ekām dhyānaśokaparāyaṇām, duḥkhasyāntam apaśyantīm rāmām rāmam anuvratām/Devi Sita was then noticed by the deep thinking of Shri Rama as if she were firmly seated on her mind driven chariot drawn by the hopes- like horses towards the Inner Soul (Antaratma) of

Shri Rama Chandra! Her body was as though drying up gradually by the months-weeks-and days, while being seated with endless cryings with 'Shri Rama Viyoga'- as though like Devi Sita Viyoga of Shri Rama in reciprocity! Hanuman then mused that Devi Sita was like a Naagini flashing her 'naaga manis' was waving her hoods desperately due to the disppearance of her Naaga Raja; or better still like Rohini Devi getting agitated at the time of Chandra Grahana by the viscous clasp of Ketu Graha. She looked to have forlorn her fame, lost her shradhha or her inherent features of intelligence, hope and aspiration, and appears to have dimmed her future, lost track of Deva puja, while she seemed like chandra during eclipse, a lotus in a dried up pond, a yagina vedi getting impure by the touch of hooligans, darkness hiding brightness, a she elephant with a damaged trunk, a water bird disabled to fly up, and a Pushkarini with poisoned water flows. upavāsena śokena dhyānena ca bhayena ca, parikṣīṇāṁ kṛśāṁ dīnām alpāhārām tapodhanām/ āyācamānām duhkhārtām prāñjalim devatām iva, bhāvena raghumukhyasya daśagrīvaparābhavam/ samīksamānām rudatīm aninditām; supaksmatāmrāyataśuklalocanām, anuvratām rāmam atīva maithilīm; pralobhayām āsa vadhāya rāvaṇah/ Devi Sita due to continuous fastings, unending distresss, prolonged mental agitations, and shocks of fear, lack of sleep, had turned her out like dried up rivers. In such pathetic conditions of Devi Sita, as Rayana looked back and wondered as to why and how she being a classic beauty of scintillating eyes and mecurial glances once upon a time was totally lost, albeit out of Shri Rama Viyoga, was looking desperate, and felt like his own 'atmaarpana' suicide!

Sarga Twenty

Ravana then addresses Devi Sita opening his heart fancying her, praises her origin, charm and conduct, and seeks to convince her to discard fear complex, to be sympathetic to him, and wait for her consent.

Sa tām parivrtām dīnām nirānandām tapasvinīm, sākārair madhurair vākyair nyadarsayata rāvanah/ mām dṛstvā nāganāsorugūhamānā stanodaram, adarśanam ivātmānam bhayān netum tvam icchasi/ kāmaye tvām viśālāksi bahumanyasva mām priye, sarvāngagunasampanne sarvalokamanohare/ neha ke cin manuşyā vā rākṣasāḥ kāmarūpiṇaḥ, vyapasarpatu te sīte bhayam mattaḥ samutthitam/ svadharme raksasām bhīru sarvathaisa na samsavah, gamanam vā parastrīnām haranam sampramathva vā/ evam caitad akāmām ca na tvām spraksvāmi maithili, kāmam kāmah śarīre me vathākāmam pravartatām/ devi neha bhayam kāryam mayi viśvasihi priye, praṇayasva ca tattvena maivam bhūḥ śokalālasā/ ekaveṇī dharāśayyā dhyānam malinam ambaram, asthāne 'py upavāsaś ca naitāny aupayikāni te/ vicitrāni ca mālyāni candanāny agarūni ca, vividhāni ca vāsāmsi divyāny ābharanāni ca/ mahārhāni ca pānāni yānāni śayanāni ca, gītam nrttam ca vādyam ca labha mām prāpya maithili strīratnam asi maivam bhūh kuru gātresu bhūsanam, mām prāpya tu katham hi syās tvam anarhā suvigrahe/ idam te cārusamjātam yauvanam vyativartate, yad atītam punar naiti srotah sīghram apām iva/ tvām kṛtvoparato manye rūpakartā sa viśvakrt, na hi rūpopamā tv anyā tavāsti śubhadarśane/ tvām samāsādya vaidehi rūpayauvanaśālinīm, kah pumān ativarteta sākṣād api pitāmahah/ yad yat paśyāmi te gātram śītāṁśuṣadrśānane, tasmiṁs tasmin prthuśroni caksur mama nibadhvate/ bhava maithili bhārvā me moham enam visarjava,bahvīnām uttamastrīnām mamāgramahisī bhava/ lokebhyo vāni ratnāni sampramathyāhṛtāni me, tāni te bhīru sarvāṇi rājyam caitad aham ca te/vijitya pṛthivīm sarvām nānānagaramālinīm, janakāya pradāsyāmi tava hetor vilāsini/ neha paśyāmi loke 'nyam yo me pratibalo bhavet, paśya me sumahad vīryam apratidvandvam āhave/ asakrt saṃyuge bhagnā mayā vimrditadhvajāh, aśaktāh pratyanīkesu sthātum mama surāsurāh/ iccha mām kriyatām adya pratikarma tavottamam, saprabhāny avasajjantām tavānge bhūṣaṇāni, sādhu paśyāmi te rūpam samyuktam pratikarmanā/ pratikarmābhisamyuktā dākṣiṇyena varānane, bhunkṣva bhogān yathākāmam piba bhīru ramasva ca, yathestam ca prayaccha tvam prthivīm vā dhanāni ca/ lalasva mayi visrabdhā dhṛṣṭam ājñāpayasva ca, matprabhāvāl lalantyāś ca lalantām bāndhavās tava/rddhim mamānupaśya tvam śriyam bhadre yaśaś ca me, kim karisyasi rāmena subhage cīravāsasā/ niksiptavijayo rāmo gataśrīr vanagocarah, vratī sthandilaśāyī ca śaṅke jīvati vā na vā/ na hi vaidehi rāmas tvāṁ drastuṁ vāpv upalapsyate, puro balākair asitair meghair jyotsnām ivāvrtām/ na cāpi mama hastāt tvām prāptum arhati rāghayah, hiranyakaśipuh kīrtim indrahastagatām iya/cārusmite cārudati cārunetre vilāsini, mano

harasi me bhīru suparṇaḥ pannagam yathā/ kliṣṭakauśeyavasanām tanvīm apy analamkṛtām/ tām dṛṣṭvā sveṣu dāreṣu ratim nopalabhāmy aham/ antaḥpuranivāsinyaḥ striyaḥ sarvaguṇānvitāḥ, yāvantyo mama sarvāsām aiśvaryam kuru jānaki/ mama hy asitakeśānte trailokyapravarāḥ striyaḥ, tās tvām paricariṣyanti śriyam apsaraso yathā/ yāni vaiśravaṇe subhru ratnāni ca dhanāni ca, tāni lokāmś ca suśroṇi mām ca bhunkṣva yathāsukham/ na rāmas tapasā devi na balena na vikramaiḥ, na dhanena mayā tulyas tejasā yaśasāpi vā/ piba vihara ramasva bhunkṣva bhogān; dhananicayam pradiśāmi medinīm ca, mayi lala lalane yathāsukham tvam; tvayi ca sametya lalantu bāndhavās te/ kusumitatarujālasamtatāni; bhramarayutāni samudratīrajān, kanakavimalahārabhūṣitāngī; vihara mayā saha bhīru kānanāni/

Ravanasura then addressed Devi Sita who was terribly afraid of him even to glance at him. He said 'Devi! Even at my arrival, you are seeking to hide my body parts like your stomach and breasts as though you are so frightened of me. But Vishala Lochani! I am infatuated with you and certainly long for you. To me knowledge, you are the unparalleled beauty on earth. Do please give me your nod of approval to my earnest prayer and offer. neha ke cin manusyā vā rākṣasāḥ kāmarūpiṇaḥ, vyapasarpatu te sīte bhayam mattah samutthitam/ svadharme raksasām bhīru sarvathaisa na samsavah,gamanam vā parastrīnām haraṇam sampramathya vā/At this secure place, you may be free and fearless as this place is totally inaccessible and no other Rakshasas who could freely change their forms with their typical features and habits and you have strict security and safety. The exceptional male of the Asuras as could enter here is only me and none else. Kindly note that Rakshasaas like me are invariably known for 'balaatkaraas' of human females undoubtely. But that certainly is not my principle. evain caitad akāmām ca na tvām sprakṣyāmi maithili, kāmam kāmaḥ śarīre me yathākāmam pravartatām/ devi neha bhayam kāryam mayi viśvasihi priye, pranayasva ca tattvena maivam bhūḥ śokalālasā/ ekaveṇī dharāśayyā dhyānam malinam ambaram, asthāne 'py upavāsaś ca naitāny aupayikāni te/ Mithileshwari! Be assured that as long as you persist in the manner without your voluntary consent, I will not even touch you amorously, even if I resist the temptations of even Kamadava even if he were to subdue to death! Devi! You should never be afraid of me with such apprehensions and fears. Please restore your faith in me on that count. You must threfore bestow your confidence with hesitation and give me 'Prema Daana' or the Charity of your consent. ekavenī dharāśavvā dhvānam malinam ambaram, asthāne 'pv upavāsaś ca naitānv aupavikāni te/ vicitrāņi ca mālyāni candanāny agarūņi ca, vividhāni ca vāsāmsi divyāny ābharaṇāni ca/ mahārhāṇi ca pānāni yānāni śayanāni ca, gītam nṛttam ca vādyam ca labha mām prāpya maithili/ Believe me, Devi! it does not behove of a woman of your origin and stature to wear uncouth hairs, seat and sleep on bare earth, keeping ever sorrowful, wearing dirty clothes and denying the pleasures of existence. Janaka Raja putri! With your mere consent, you must get garlanded with fresh and fragrant flowers, wear invaluable ornaments, enjoy food delicacies, luxuries of seating and sleeping facilities, and geeta-nartana-vaadyaparama bhogas! idam te cārusamjātam yauvanam vyativartate, yad atītam punar naiti srotaḥ śīghram apām iva/ tvām krtvoparato manye rūpakartā sa viśvakrt, na hi rūpopamā tv anyā tavāsti śubhadarśane/ tvām samāsādya vaidehi rūpayauvanaśālinīm, kah pumān ativarteta sākṣād api pitāmahah/ Devi Sita! Well before your emerging youthfulness might get terminated, do seek to reverse and backtrack the forceful flows of rivers of joy- (and possibly reach the ocean ofbliss!). Shubha darshane! It looks that Vidhaata the Creator appeared to have created your outstanding body form and features and got fatigued as there could never be a parallel! Videha nandini! Might ever be a male withstand the profile and youth of your singularity be able to resist the courage, even it were Brahma Himself! bhava maithili bhāryā me moham enam visarjaya,bahvīnām uttamastrīnām mamāgramahisī bhava/ lokebhyo yāni ratnāni sampramathyāhrtāni me, tāni te bhīru sarvāni rājyam caitad aham ca te/ Mithila Kumari! Please be my wife, and leabe the mirage of 'Paativratya'! I possess innumerable queens, but do accept my offer to be the Prime Queen! I promise that having searched all over the universe, I should secure the best of 'nava ratnas', along with this Kingdom too! Kindly accept me! Right away along my passion, your body be adorned with the glitter of Lokas! Sumukhi! To I am truly able to realize your penchant for 'shringara' as I seek your charity of that gift. rddhim mamānupaśya tvam śriyam bhadre yaśaś ca me, kim karisyasi rāmeņa subhage cīravāsasā/ nikṣiptavijayo rāmo gataśrīr vanagocaraḥ, vratī sthaṇḍilaśāyī ca śaṅke jīvati vā na vā/ na hi vaidehi rāmas tvām drastum vāpy upalapsyate, puro balākair asitair meghair

jyotsnām ivāvṛtām/Bhadre Yashasvini! Look at my prosperity and lavishness; what use is of Rama who is robed in 'cheera vaasas' or deer skins. Please forget about Rama and the fanciful mentality of his heroism and my defeat; after all, he is destined to 'aranya vaasa' ever, by sleeping on ground and grass roaming aimlessly on the pretext of Vrata Paalana! In fact, I doubt whether he is still alive! Videha nandini! Why are you hiding behind black clouds even as you are youself like a Purna chandra! It should be a sheer waste of opportunities right before you as meeting Rama is a wishful mirage!yāni vaiśravaṇe subhru ratnāni ca dhanāni ca, tāni lokāmś ca suśroṇi mām ca bhunkṣva yathāsukham/ na rāmas tapasā devi na balena na vikramaiḥ, na dhanena mayā tulyas tejasā yaśasāpi vā/ Subhaga! I am of the opulence of even Kubera and that would be on your grip worthy of your swimming in those flows of nectar. What indeed is Rama worthy of!; neither tapasya, nor energy, nor bravery, nor opulence and not even brightness as ever comparable to me! Enjoy life and ensure its worthwhileness. The choice is yours whether you wish to get lost and roam about in jungles with dangers and miseries all through life or opt for lifelong happiness and fulfillment with blissful and radiant tomorrow.

Sarga Twenty One

Devi Sita emboldens herself and replies highlighting Ravana's wreched manner of kidnapping her, his features of cruelty, selfishmess, and ego; mocks his ability and readiness to face Rama the true hero!

Tasya tadvacanam śrutvā sītā raudrasya rakṣasaḥ, ārtā dīnasvarā dīnam pratyuvāca śanair vacaḥ/ duḥkhārtā rudatī sītā vepamānā tapasvinī, cintayantī varārohā patim eva pativratā/ tṛṇam antarataḥ kṛtvā pratyuvāca śucismitā, nivartaya mano mattaḥ svajane kriyatām manaḥ/ na mām prārthayitum yuktas tvam siddhim iva pāpakṛt, akāryam na mayā kāryam ekapatnyā vigarhitam, kulam samprāptayā punyam kule mahati jātayā/ evam uktvā tu vaidehī rāvanam tam yaśasvinī, rāksasam pṛsthatah kṛtvā bhūyo vacanam abravīt/ nāham aupavikī bhāryā parabhāryā satī tava, sādhu dharmam aveksasva sādhu sādhuvratam cara/yathā tava tathānyeṣām rakṣyā dārā niśācara, ātmānam upamām kṛtvā sveṣu dāreṣu ramyatām/ atustam svesu dāresu capalam calitendriyam, nayanti nikrtiprajñām paradārāh parābhayam/ iha santo na vā santi sato vā nānuvartase, vaco mithyā pranītātmā pathvam uktam vicaksanaih/ akṛtātmānam āsādya rājānam anaye ratam, samṛddhāni vinaśyanti rāṣṭrāṇi nagarāṇi ca/ tatheyam tvām samāsādya lankā ratnaugha samkulā, aparādhāt tavaikasya nacirād vinaśisyati/ svakrtair hanyamānasya rāvanādīrghadarśinah, abhinandanti bhūtāni vināśe pāpakarmanah/ evam tvām pāpakarmānam vaksyanti nikrtā janāh, distyaitad vyasanam prāpto raudra ity eva harsitāh/ śakyā lobhavitum nāham aiśvaryena dhanena vā, ananyā rāghavenāham bhāskarena prabhā yathā/ upadhāya bhujam tasya lokanāthasya satkṛtam, katham nāmopadhāsyāmi bhujam anyasya kasya cit/ aham aupayikī bhāryā tasyaiva vasudhāpateh, vratasnātasya viprasya vidyeva viditātmanaḥ/ sādhu rāvaṇa rāmeṇa mām samānaya duḥkhitām, vane vāśitayā sārdham kareņveva gajādhipam/ mitram aupayikam kartum rāmaḥ sthānam parīpsatā, vadham cānicchatā ghoram tvavāsau purusarsabhah/ varjaved vajram utsrstam varjayed antakaś ciram, tyadyidham na tu samkruddho lokanāthah sa rāghayah/ rāmasya dhanusah śabdam śrosyasi tvam mahāsvanam, śatakratuvisṛṣṭasya nirghoṣam aśaner iva/ iha śīghram suparvāṇo įvalitāsyā ivoragāh, isavo nipatisyanti rāmalaksmanalaksanāh/ raksāmsi parinighnantah puryām asyām samantatah, asampātam karisyanti patantah kankavāsasah/rāksasendramahāsarpān sa rāmagarudo mahān, uddharisyati vegena vainateya iyoragān/ apanesyati mām bhartā tyattah śīghram arimdamah, asurebhyaḥ śriyam dīptām viṣṇus tribhir iva kramaih/ janasthāne hatasthāne nihate rakṣasām bale, aśaktena tvayā rakṣaḥ kṛtam etad asādhu vai/ āśramam tu tayoḥ śūnyam praviśya narasimhayoḥ, gocaram gatayor bhrātror apanītā tvayādhama/ na hi gandham upāghrāya rāmalaksmaṇayos tvayā, śakyam samdarśane sthātum śunā śārdūlayor iva/ tasya te vigrahe tābhyām yugagrahaṇam asthiram, vṛṭrasyevendrabāhubhyām bāhor ekasya nigrahah/ ksipram tava sa nātho me rāmah saumitrinā saha, toyam alpam ivādityah prānān ādāsyate śaraih/girim kuberasya gato 'thavālayam; sabhām gato vā varuṇasya rājñaḥ, asaṁśayaṁ dāśarather na moksyase; mahādrumaḥ kālahato 'śaner iva/

As Ravanasura expressed his bravado replete with selfishness, cunningness and arrogance, Devi Sita the 'tapasvini, pativrata and sadaa pati chintaa parayana' replied in a low voice. She said that instead of persistently praising her, her body beauty and grace, he be better advised to be contented and concentrated on his own multitude of wives. She further said that a sinful and evil minded person would not aspire for a series of further sucesses. He would not deserve them as he had cursed a pativrata, and worse still to force her to take to dubious and detestable alternatives. What is more, I was born into an outstanding family background and wedded into a glorious family. Ravana! I am a well married woman belonging to a different and distinguished family and most assertively not deserving of you as I should swear touching my back and feet. Nishaachara! Do seek to follow the very elementary principles of 'dharma and nyaya'. As you seek to protect your own wives, learn to expect others too objectively. ātmānam upamām krtvā svesu dāresu ramyatām/ atustam svesu dāresu capalam calitendriyam, navanti nikṛtiprajñām paradārāh parābhavam/ iha santo na vā santi sato vā nānuvartase, vaco mithyā pranītātmā pathyam uktam vicakṣaṇaiḥ/ akr̞tātmānam āsādya rājānam anaye ratam, samr̞ddhāni vinaśyanti rās̞trāṇi nagarāṇi ca/ Seek to display the idealism of affection and affinity towards your present wives before craving for other -wise ideally wedded wives due essentially to your 'chapala buddhi' as that kind of psyche ought to rebound on you ruin. Can't you realise that 'Satpurushas' do exist in the world following principles while you appear to be totally unaware as brainless dumbwit devoid of 'sadaachara'! Otherwise, 'Buddhiman Purushas' who would guide you to the righteous path tend to ignore as Rakshasaas like you are prone to! Once a King whose mind is corrupted carries on with 'adharmas and anyaayas', then that kingdom is sureky destined to doom, sooner or later. As this 'ratna raasi Lanka puri' in your hands prone to corruptibilty gets saturated by sins, ought to very soon, collapse with utmost certainty. Ravana! Do realise that when one's vision is short sighted attains the consequential destiny and death. evam tvām pāpa karmāṇam vakṣyanti nikṛtā janāḥ, diṣṭyaitad vyasanam prāpto raudra ity eva harṣitāḥ/ As a sinful king with the least forevision reaches his climatic invitability of doom, them the world should celebrate and hail the victory of justice. śakyā lobhayitum nāham aiśvaryena dhanena vā, ananyā rāghavenāham bhāskarena prabhā yathā/ upadhāya bhujam tasya lokanāthasya satkṛtam, katham nāmopadhāsyāmi bhujam anyasya kasya cit/ aham aupayikī bhāryā tasyaiva vasudhāpateh, vratasnātasya viprasya vidyeva viditātmanah/ Now, be it well realised Ravanasura! that just like the radiance of Surva Deva, I am too inseparable from Shri Rama of Surya Vamsha. Neither opulence nor life of luxury could ever distract me. As having shared his bed and pillow on my shoulders with those of his, how dare that any other 'praani' even of celestial origin could do so. I am thus honoured to be my sigular wife of Raghunaatha as the treasure of Snataka Brahmana Panditas of Atma Jnaana only. sādhu rāvana rāmena mām samānaya duhkhitām, vane vāśitayā sārdham karenveva gajādhipatim/ But on only one count, I am grateful to you, Ravana! You are soon going to relieve me of the pangs of seperation of Shri Rama, like a she elephant lost in wilderness should be excited of the earliest opportunity to meet the Gaja Raja Raghunaadha! mitram aupayikam kartum rāmah sthānam parīpsatā, vadham cānicchatā ghoram tvayāsau puruşarşabhah/varjayed vajram utsrştam varjayed antakaś ciram, tvadvidham na tu samkruddho lokanāthah sa rāghavah/ If only even now before you face the unfotunate collapse of Ravan Dhwaja, my sincere advise you even at this last stage, try to make friendship and avoid the inevitability of battle! It is widely known that Shri Rama is a 'sharanaagata vatsala' or a symbol of refuge. rāmasya dhanuşaḥ śabdam śrosyasi tvam mahāsvanam, śatakratuvisrstasya nirghosam aśaner iva/ iha śīghram suparvāno *jvalitāsyā ivoragāh, isavo nipatisyanti rāmalaksmanalaksanāh*/Contrarily, Rama's 'dhanush thankaara' should very soon be heard in your Lankaapuri, like the reverberating sounds as of Indra's Vajraayudha! rakṣāmsi parinighnantah puryām asyām samantatah, asampātam kariṣyanti patantah kankavāsasah/Further the mighty shoulders of Rama supported by those of Lakshmana should soon shower on the countless Rakshasaas to decimation like the Vitata nandana Guruda on poisonous Sarpas on earth. Rakshasa! As the Rakshasa sena gets destroyed, you should soon be exposed and terminated with the total collapse of Lankapuri shorn of its very existence! Neecha Nishaachara! You had entered our Ashram in the opprtune absence Rama Lakshmanas as they chased to death by the Maya Mrigarupi Rakshasa making false shouts. ksipram tava sa nātho me rāmah saumitrinā saha, toyam alpam ivādityah prānān ādāsvate śaraih/girim kuberasva gato 'thavālavam; sabhām gato vā varunasva rājñah,

asamśayam dāśarather na mokṣyase; mahādrumaḥ kālahato 'śaner iva/ Neecha Rakshasa!Both Rama Lahshmanas are very soon arriving at Lankapuri and kill you without mercy and provide me relief to me very soon like the blasting Surya Deva should soon cool down the few water drops of my eyes. Be well advised by me to flee under the protection of your cousin Kubera or hide yourself or disappear into the Varuna Deva Sabha for your protection as a refuge, barring which your death by Kaala Deva from the hands of Shri Rama is just round the corner!'

Sarga Twenty Two

As Sita heckled Ravana's claim of heroism despite his stealthy timidity, asserted her 'pativratya', and challenged him to face Rama- as Ravana threatenend her granted three months to change or get killed.

Sītāyā vacanam śrutvā paruşam rākşasādhipah pratyuvāca tatah sītām vipriyam priyadarśanām/ yathā yathā sāntvayitā vasyah strīṇām tathā tathā, yathā yathā priyam vaktā paribhūtas tathā tathā/ samniyacchati me krodham tyayi kāmah samutthitah, drayato mārgam āsādya hayān iya susārathih/ vāmaḥ kāmo manuṣyāṇām yasmin kila nibadhyate, jane tasmims tv anukrośaḥ snehaś ca kila jāyate/ etasmāt kāraṇān na tām ghatayāmi varānane, vadhārhām avamānārhām mithyāpravrajite ratām/ parusāni hi vākyāni yāni yāni bravīsi mām, tesu tesu vadho yuktas tava maithili dārunah/ evam uktvā tu vaidehīm rāvano rāksasādhipah, krodhasamrambhasamyuktah sītām uttaram abravīt/ dvau māsau rakşitavyau me yo 'vadhis te mayā kṛtaḥ, tataḥ śayanam āroha mama tvam varavarṇini/ dvābhyām ūrdhvam tu māsābhvām bhartāram mām anicchatīm, mama tvām prātarāśārtham ārabhante mahānase/ tām tarjyamānām samprekṣya rākṣasendreṇa jānakīm, devagandharvakanyās tā viṣedur vipulekṣaṇāh/ osthaprakārair aparā netravaktrais tathāparāh, sītām āśvāsayām āsus tarjitām tena raksasā/ tābhir āśvāsitā sītā rāvanam rāksasādhipam, uvācātmahitam vākyam vṛttaśaundīryagarvitam/ nūnam na te janah kaś cid asin nihśreyase sthitah, nivārayati yo na tvām karmano 'smād vigarhitāt/ mām hi dharmātmanah patnīm śacīm iva śacīpateh, tvadanyas trisu lokesu prārthayen manasāpi kah/ rākṣasādhama rāmasya bhāryām amitatejasaḥ, uktavān asi yat pāpam kva gatas tasya mokṣyase/yathā drptaś ca mātangah śaśaś ca sahitau vane, tathā dviradavad rāmas tvam nīca śaśavat smrtah/ sa tvam iksvākunātham vai ksipann iha na lajjase, caksuso visavam tasva na tāvad upagacchasi/ime te navane krūre virūpe kṛṣṇapingale, kṣitau na patite kasmān mām anāryanirīkṣitaḥ/ tasya dharmātmanaḥ patnīm snusām dašarathasya ca, katham vyāharato mām te na jihvā pāpa šīryate/ asamdešāt tu rāmasya tapasaš cānupālanāt, na tvām kurmi daśagrīva bhasma bhasmārhatejasā/ nāpahartum aham śakyā tasya rāmasya dhīmatah, vidhis tava vadhārthāya vihito nātra samśayah/śūrena dhanadabhrātā balaih samuditena ca, apohya rāmam kasmād dhi dāracauryam tvayā kṛtam/ sītāyā vacanam śrutvā rāvano rāksasādhipah, vivrtya nayane krūre jānakīm anvavaikṣata/ nīlajīmūtasamkāśo mahābhujaśirodharaḥ, simhasattvagatiḥ śrīmān dīptajihvogralocanah/ calāgramakuṭah prāmśuś citramālyānulepanah, raktamālyāmbaradharas taptāngadavibhūṣaṇaḥ./śroṇīsūtreṇa mahatā mekakena susamvṛtaḥ, amṛtotpādanaddhena bhujamgeneva mandarah/ tarunādityavarnābhyām kundalābhyām vibhūsitah, raktapallavapuspābhyām aśokābhyām ivācalah/ aveksamāno vaidehīm kopasamraktalocanah, uvāca rāvanah sītām bhujamga iva nihśvasan/ anayenābhisampannam arthahīnam anuvrate, nāśayāmy aham adya tvām sūryaḥ samdhyām ivaujasā/ ity uktvā maithilīm rājā rāvanah śatrurāvanah, samdideśa tatah sarvā rāksasīr ghoradarśanāh/ ekāksīm ekakarnām ca karnaprāvaranām tathā, gokarnīm hastikarnīm ca lambakarnīm akarnikām/ hastipadya śvapadyau ca gopadīm pādacūlikām, ekāksīm ekapādīm ca pṛthupādīm apādikām/ atimātraśirogrīvām atimātrakucodarīm, atimātrāsyanetrām ca dīrghajihvām ajihvikām, anāsikām simhamukhīm gomukhīm sūkarīmukhīm/ yathā madvaśagā sītā kṣipram bhavati jānakī, tathā kuruta rākṣasyaḥ sarvāḥ kṣipram sametya ca/ pratilomānulomaiś ca sāmadānādibhedanaiḥ, āvartayata vaidehīm daṇḍasyodyamanena ca/ iti pratisamādiśya rākṣasendraḥ punaḥ punaḥ, kāmamanyuparītātmā jānakīm paryatarjaya/ upagamya tatah ksipram rāksasī dhānyamālinī, parisvajya daśagrīvam idam vacanam abravīt/ mayā krīda mahārājasītayā kim tavānayā, akāmām kāmayānasya śarīram upatapyate, icchantīm kāmayānasya prītir bhavati śobhanā/ evam uktas tu rākṣasyā samutkṣiptas tato balī, jvaladbhāskaravarnābham praviveśa niveśanam/ devagandharvakanyāś ca nāgakanyāś ca tās tatah, parivārva daśagrīvam vivišus tad

gṛhottamam/ sa maithilīm dharmaparām avasthitām; pravepamānām paribhartsya rāvaṇaḥ, vihāya sītām madanena mohitaḥ; svam eva veśma praviveśa bhāsvaram/

Having heard the piercing words attacking his cruel, selfish, villaiouness characateristics of Ravana by Devi Sita, Ravanasura replied to her: vathā vathā sāntvavitā vaśvah strīnām tathā tathā, vathā vathā priyam vaktā paribhūtas tathā tathā/samniyacchati me krodham tvayi kāmaḥ samutthitaḥ, dravato mārgam āsādya hayān iva susārathiḥ/ vāmaḥ kāmo manuṣyāṇām yasmin kila nibadhyate, jane tasmims tv anukrośah snehaś ca kila jāyate/ Normally, men of name and fame when approached by females, they normally tend to respond to their manner of approaching with sweet and amorous reactions, but your ugly and detestable way of responding to my positively sweet conversation is truly disgusting. I am seeking to control my ruthless rage like a 'saarathi' of horses seeking to reverse from wrong destinations being forified with kindness and pardon. Normally again, the pattern of love and affection among various beings is crooked, but genuine expressions of romantic offers are truly bound being reversed unmindful of frightenening consequences. etasmāt kāranān na tām ghatayāmi varānane, vadhārhām avamānārhām mithvāpravrajite ratām/ parusāni hi vākvāni vāni vāni bravīsi mām, tesu tesu vadho vuktas tava maithili dāruṇaḥ/ Sumukhi Sita! Despite your assumed and fabricated sense of Vairagya and frustration, you had used such ugly expessions, but I am restraining my self to kill you even as you cerainly deserve it. Mithilesh Kumari! A King of my stature of world wide repute could most certainly declare 'marana dandana' by public hanging to you. dvau māsau raksitavyau me yo 'vadhis te mayā kṛtah, tatah śayanam āroha mama tvam varavarnini/ dvābhyām ūrdhvam tu māsābhyām bhartāram mām anicchatīm, mama tvām prātarāśārtham ārabhante mahānase/ Maha Rayana further threatened Devi Sita: 'Sundari! I am now declaring to you a reasonable time of two months to you to reconcile and surrender and creep into my bed. Otherwise, do mark my words, I would have despatched your dead body to the royal kitchen to have mince it to pieces for cooking!' As Ravana threatened with tragic consequences of her cruel death, Devi Sita, instead of being shattered with fright and body shivers, got fortified by supreme self confidence and courage of an outstanding power of her 'Pativratya' backed up by her faith and self confidence in Shri Rama replied to Ravana: nūnam na te janah kaś cid asin niḥśreyase sthitaḥ, nivārayati yo na tvām karmano 'smād vigarhitāt/ mām hi dharmātmanah patnīm śacīm iva śacīpateh, tvadanvas trisu lokesu prārthayen manasāpi kah/ rāksasādhama rāmasya bhāryām amitatejasah, uktavān asi yat pāpam kya gatas tasya mokṣyase/ What a pity that none in this Kingdom of Lanka, there is no brave male person who could ever stop the 'atyaachaaras' Dushta Ravana! I am like Shachi Devi, a pativratha of Universal Stature and repute. Indeed there could never be any other living Being who seeks to snare me into bed. Rakshasaadhama! As you make offers of love for me with sinful thoughts to the most ideal a hero of Shri Rama's stature, how could you evade death for long. What an apt adage of 'hastimasikantara' as one compares Rama as a youthful ebullience of huge forest elephant and a slimy rabbit. Arre Ravana! Are you not ashamed of misbehaving with me now till the hero arrives on the scene! Why and how are you still surviving and be alive of my looks of fury instead of instantaneously dropping dead.amdeśāt tu rāmasya tapasaś cānupālanāt, na tvām kurmi daśagrīva bhasma bhasmārhatejasā/ nāpahartum aham śakvā tasva rāmasya dhīmatah, vidhis tava vadhārthāya vihito nātra samsayah/sūrena dhanadabhrātā balaih samuditena ca, apohya rāmam kasmād dhi dāracauryam tvayā kṛtam/ Dashamukha Ravana! You have sought to pull my self radiance to ashes. It is only due to the Pratigina of Shri Rama and the the concealed power of my tapsya that are enabling you to still be alive and kicking. I am the 'saha dharma charini pativrata' of Rama; you had the audacity of slymigly kidnapping me and still claim yourself as a 'shura veera!sītāyā vacanam śrutvā rāvaņo rākṣasādhipah, vivṛtya nayane krūre jānakīm anvavaikṣata/avekṣamāṇo vaidehīm kopasamraktalocanaḥ, uvāca rāvaṇaḥ sītām bhujamga iva niḥśvasan/ anayenābhisampannam arthahīnam anuvrate, nāśayāmy aham adya tvām sūryaḥ samdhyām ivaujasā/ ity uktvā maithilīm rājā rāvaņah satrurāvaņah, samdidesa tatah sarvā rākṣasīr ghoradarsanāh/ After hearing the harsh realties as detailed by Devi Sita, Ravana was disarmed while fuming. He saw Devi Sita up and down with anger and even disbelief. His eyes were reddened as of poisonous cobras and displayed heavy breathings. He hissed: You woman still hankering after men of wretched and poverty stricken humans of forest life; Just as the emerging brightness of early morning Surva shatters through the

night long darkness, I would soon enough most certainly finish you. Then, he glanced at the gang of Rakshasis surrounding Sita; among then were Ekaakshi-Ekakarna-Karnapraavarana-Gokarna-Hastikarna-Lambakarni-Ararnika-Hastipadi-Ashvapadi- Gopadi-Paadachurlika of feet haired-Ekapaadi-Pruthupaadi-Apaadika-Atimaatra Shirogreeva- Deergha jihvaa nakha- Atimaatra kuchodari-Atimaatrasyena netra-Anaasika-Sookara mukhi and so on. He then hinted them to utilise saama-daana-bheda-danda 'chaturo -paayaas'. As Ravana was thus prepared to leave, the surrounding 'sundara kanyas' of deva- yakshagandharva-naaga kanyas embraced Ravana and said: *mayā krīḍa mahārājasītayā kim tavānayā, akāmām kāmayānasya śarīram upatapyate, icchantīm kāmayānasya prītir bhavati śobhanā*/ Maha Raja Rakshasa Saavabhouma! Surely Maha Srashta Brahma had not written on the forehead of this miserable 'manushya stree' But now please may we be allowed to enjoy rati-kreedas at once! In ready response to the entreating females surrounded him, Mahaasura Ravana proceeded to his Raja Mahal with 'simha garjanas'.

Sarga Twenty Three

Select Rakshasis of learning like Ekajata-Harijata-Vikata-and Durmikhi extoll the qualities of bravery of Ravanasura while seeking to convincingy pressurise Devi Sita to accept the offer of Prime Queenship

Ity uktvā maithilīm rājā rāvaņah śatrurāvanah, samdiśya ca tatah sarvā rāksasīr nirjagāma ha/ nişkrānte rākṣasendre tu punar antaḥpuram gate, rākṣasyo bhīmarūpās tāḥ sītām samabhidudruvuḥ/ tatah sītām upāgamya rākṣasyah krodhamūrchitāh, param paruṣayā vācā vaidehīm idam abruvan/ paulastyasya varisthasya rāvanasya mahātmanah, daśagrīvasya bhāryātvam sīte na bahu manyase/ tatas tv ekajatā nāma rāksasī vākyam abravīt, āmantrya krodhatāmrāksī sītām karatalodarīm/ prajāpatīnām sannām tu caturtho yah prajāpatih, mānaso brahmanah putrah pulastya iti viśrutah/ pulastyasya tu tejasvī maharsir mānasah sutah, nāmnā sa viśravā nāma prajāpatisamaprabhah/ tasva putro viśālāksi rāvaṇaḥ śatrurāvaṇaḥ, tasya tvam rākṣasendrasya bhāryā bhavitum arhasi, mayoktam cārusarvāngi vākvam kim nānumanyase/ tato harijatā nāma rāksasī vākvam abravīt, viyrtva navane kopān mārjārasadršeksanā/ vena devās travastrimšad devarājaš ca nirjitah, tasva tvam rāksasendrasva bhārvā bhavitum arhasi/vīryotsiktasya śūrasya samgrāmeṣv anivartinaḥ, balino vīryayuktasyā bhāryātvam kim na lapsyase/ priyām bahumatām bhāryām tyaktvā rājā mahābalah/ sarvāsām ca mahābhāgām tvām upaisyati rāvanah/ samrddham strīsahasrena nānāratnopaśobhitam, antahpuram samutsrjya tvām upaisyati rāvanah/asakrd devatā yuddhe nāgagandharvadānavāh, nirjitāh samare yena sa te pārśvam upāgatah/ tasya sarvasamṛddhasyā rāvanasya mahātmanah, kimartham rāksasendrasya bhāryātvam necchase 'dhame/ yasya sūryo na tapati bhīto yasya ca mārutaḥ, na vāti smāyatāpānge kim tvam tasya na tiṣṭhasi/ puṣpavṛṣṭim ca taravo mumucur yasya vai bhayāt, śailāś ca subhru pānīyam jaladāś ca yadecchati/ tasya nairṛtarājasya rājarājasya bhāmini, kiṁ tvaṁ na kuruṣe buddhiṁ bhāryārthe rāvanasva hi/ sādhu te tattvato devi kathitam sādhu bhāmini, grhāna susmite vākvam anvathā na bhavisvasi/

As King Ravana instructed them to change Devi Sita's mind set in favor of King Ravana as he was departing Ashoka Vana, then the Rakshasis surrounded her gradually and decided to convince her, offer temptations, preach against Shri Rama, or finally by threats of physical violence to harrm her. They addressed her: 'Site! Do you not realise the big luck, honour and great fortune to become a life patner of Poulastya Dashagriva King Ravana, the shining star among Asura Rakshasas. Then 'Ekajata Rakshasi' explained to Sita: do you know that Bramama Deva created six Prajapatis of whom Pulastya Prajapati was the fourth of the six. Pulastya's Maanasa was the 'Maharshi Vishrava' who too was of the fame of Pulastya. Do understand the glorious lineage and heritage of Maha Baahu Dashamukha. To become the Prime Queen of the Lanka Saamrajya ought to be a dream come true! Then another knowledgeable Rakshasi 'Hari Jata' explained: 'Devi Sita! Perhaps you are ignorant of the invincibility of Maha Ravana, as you feel Ravana is an upstrart and his heriosm is asuspect. Now, let me clarify: Maha Ravanasura had

defeated and put to shame in a series of battles with thirty hundreds of devatas including Dwadasha Adityas, Ekaadasha Rudras, Ashta Vasus, and Two Ashvini Kumaras, besides Indra Himself. Now, do you realise as to which kind of honour that you should accomplish as your life time award! Harijata Rakshasi further annotated that Devi Sita! Maha Pativrata Mandodari is ready to discard the top position and most prestegious status of Patta Mahishi in your favour, once you accept the same!

[Vishleshana on Prajapatis, Adityas, Rudras, Vasus and Ashvini Kumars

Prajapatis: Mareechi-Atri-Angeera-Pulasya-Pulaha-and Kratu

Ashta Vasus: Aapa, Dhruva, Soma, Dhara, Anila, Anala, Pratyusha and Prabhasa. They once visited Vasishtha's Ashram along with their wives and desired to possess Nandini the Kamadhenu; as the Maharshi refused, Prabhasa he took lead in stealing the cow while other Vasus too abetted the plan. Vasishtha cursed the Vasus to become humans but reduced the impact of the curse to all of them to be born as humans only for a few hours except Prabhasa the ring leader. Thus Devi Ganga who was married to King Shantanu of Maha Bharata on condition that what even she did should not be questioned but she drowned the new borns one by one in the River but he could not contain himself and asked Ganga why did she do such merciless actions; Ganga left Shantanu as the eighth child was spared but deserted the King for good. The eighth child was Gangeya who was Bhishma and that was Prabhasa the Leader of Ashta Vasus who secured Vasishta's curse that he should have a full life but without a wife since Prabhasa listned to his wife and stole the Kama Dhenu Nandini.

Ekaadasha Rudras: Mahan, Mahatma, Matimaan, Bhishana, Bhayankara, Ritudhwaja, Urthvakesha, Pingalaksha, Rucha, Shuchi and Kaalagni.

Dwaadasha Adityasa: Aditya Deva assumes twelve other Murti / Forms viz. Indra, Dhata, Parjanya, Pusha, Twashta, Aryama, Bhaga, Vivishwan, Amshu, Vishnu, Varuna and Mitra. Among these twelve Murthis, Indra was Chief of Devas ruling Amaravati and destroying Daityas and Danavas from time to time. Dhata being in the Status of Prajapati took up the task of Creation; Parjanya in the Form of Sun rays rained all over the Universe; Pusha is in the form of Mantras engaged for Prajaaposhana; Twashtha is present in the form of 'Vanaspati' and 'Aushadhi' (Vegetable Oils and Herbal Medicines); Aryama who provides protection and relief to humanity; Bhaga is in the form of Earth and Mountains; Viviswan in the form of Agni / Fire and is the cooking facilitator of food as also of the destroying power; the ninth name of Surya Deva is Amshu or of the form of Chandra Deva who provides coolness and pleasure of existence; Vishnu is the tenth name of Surya who constanly checks the evil forces in the World and slays Danavaas and establishes virtue from time to time by assuming Incarnations; Varuna is the eleventh appearance present in water as the source of life and fertility staying in Oceans, Rivers and various water profiles; and finally, Mitra or form of propitiousness and help to humanity. In whatever form he might be, Surva Deva is indeed the 'Karanam, Kaaranam and Karta' or the Act, Action and the Supreme Actor in the drama of Life! Bhakti (Devotion), Shraddha (fortitude) and Puja (Worship) sum up the meanings of human life! The corresponding Twelve Names of Aditya are stated to identify with the Twelve Months of a Year viz. Chaitra with Vishnu, Vaishakha with Aryama, Jyeshtha with Viviswan, Ashadha with Amshuman, Shravana with Parjanya, Badrapada with Varuna, Ashwin with Indra, Kartika with Dhata, Margasirsha with Mitra, Pausha with Pusha, Magha with Bhaga and Twashta in Phalguna

Vishleshana on Ashvini Kumars from Surya Purana:

Vishwakarma the Shilpi's daughter was Sagjna whose celestial name is Raagjni also called Surenu in dyuloka. Sangjna's shadow is Chhaaya also called Nikshubha. Sangjna is not only pretty but a Pativrata too; she gave birth to Manu and Yama. But she was unable to approach the ever fiery form of Surya and

after retaining her shadow left to her father Vishvakarma's home to stay there for very thousand and odd years, despite the father advising her to return to her husband's home as soon as possible. As the father pressurised her, she left for Uttrara Kuru pradesha in the form of a horse. Chhaya Devi and Surya Deva gave birth to two sons named Shritashrava and Shrutakarma, besides a daughter named Tapati. Shritashrava's son was Saavarni Manu and Shanaishwara was the son of Shritakarma. Just as Sangina Devi was too affectionate with her children, Chhaya Devi was not so. Chhaya had normal relation with Sangina's elder son Manu, but had difference of opinion with Yama. As Chhaya bothered Yama too much, then the latter desired to lift her physically and held her upside down and in the process touched her feet. Chhaya then gave a 'shaap' or curse that Yama 's feet be twisted and disfigured. In this physical altercation, Surya appeared and said that every 'shaap' could be negated but not that of a mother and suggested that the only way could be to the flesh of Yama's feet be kept on 'krimis' or vicious worms so that the flesh of the feet be eaten and got disappeared and the fleshless feet be retained. This way- out would save Yama's feet and Chhaya Devi's curse be carried out too. Soon after this shaap incident, Vishvakarma the father of Sangjna approached Surya Deva and informed him that his daughter Sangjna was in the form of a horse in Shaaka dwipa, and made Surya to assume the form of a male horse at where Sangjna was grazing. Then Surya in the form of a male horse aproached Sangjma in the form of a female horse and tried to mate. Sangjna struggled in the act of mating as she was of the feeling that Surya was a 'para purusha'; in the process of th struggle Surya's virility entered Sangina's nose and she gave birth to two sons viz. Ashvini Kumars the celestial physicians, named Naasatya and Dasnna. After Surya Deva revealed his identity, then the two horses mated again and Revant was born with similar radiance like that of the father.]

Stanzas 14 onward to follow:

'Vikata naama Rakhasi' asserted that Maha Ravana subdued Naaga- Gabdharva-Danavas several times in their group battles. Further 'Durmukhi Rakshasi' emphasised that out of Ravanaasura's fear Surya Deva reduced his radiance and Vayu Deva his sweep and speed. In sum the well wisher Rakshasis stated: tasya nairṛtarājasya rājarājasya bhāmini, kim tvam na kuruṣe buddhim bhāryārthe rāvaṇasya hi/ sādhu te tattvato devi kathitam sādhu bhāmini, gṛhāṇa susmite vākyam anyathā na bhaviṣyasi/ Bhamini Sita! How is it that you are denying the fabulous opportunity. We the senior and learned Rakshasis are therefore extending our hearty congratulations to you in advance as you need to be convinced of King Lankeshwara's deservedness and the unique honour bestowed on you!

Sarga Twenty Four

While a few of enlightened Rakshasis sought to convince Devi Sita to wed Ravana, the rest of the cruel lot threatened her to death and fancy to taste her flesh, cook it with spices, and eat with wine and dance!

Tataḥ sītām upāgamya rākṣasyo vikṛtānanāḥ, paruṣam paruṣā nārya ūcus tā vākyam apriyam/ kim tvam antaḥpure sīte sarvabhūtamanohare, mahārhaśayanopete na vāsam anumanyase/ mānuṣī mānuṣasyaiva bhāryātvam bahu manyase, pratyāhara mano rāmān na tvam jātu bhaviṣyasi/ mānuṣī mānuṣam tam tu rāmam icchasi śobhane, rājyād bhraṣṭam asiddhārtham viklavam tam anindite/ rākṣasīnām vacaḥ śrutvā sītā padmanibhekṣaṇā, netrābhyām aśrupūrṇābhyām idam vacanam abravīt/ yad idam lokavidviṣṭam udāharatha samgatāḥ, naitan manasi vākyam me kilbiṣam pratitiṣṭhati/ na mānuṣī rākṣasasya bhāryā bhavitum arhati,kāmam khādata mām sarvā na kariṣyāmi vo vacaḥ, dīno vā rājyahīno vā yo me bhartā sa me guruḥ/ sītāyā vacanam śrutvā rākṣasyaḥ krodhamūrchitāḥ, bhartsayanti sma paruṣair vākyai rāvaṇacoditāḥ/ avalīnaḥ sa nirvākyo hanumāñ śimśapādrume, sītām samtarjayantīs tā rākṣasīr aśṛṇot kapiḥ/ tām abhikramya samrabdhā vepamānām samantataḥ, bhṛśam samilihur dīptān pralambadaśanacchadān/ ūcuś ca paramakruddhāḥ pragṛhyāśu paraśvadhān, neyam arhati bhartāram rāvaṇam rākṣasādhipam/ sā bhartsyamānā bhīmābhī rākṣasībhir varānanā, sā bāṣpam apamārjantī śimśapām tām upāgamat/ tatas tām śimśapām sītā rākṣasībhiḥ samāvṛtā, abhigamya viśālākṣī tasthau

śokapariplutā/ tām krśām dīnavadanām malināmbaradhārinīm/bhartsayām cakrire bhīmā rāksasyas tāh samantatah/ tatas tām vinatā nāma rāksasī bhīmadarśanā, abravīt kupitākārā karālā nirnatodarī/ sīte paryāptam etāvad bhartṛsneho nidarśitah, sarvatrātikṛtam bhadre vyasanāyopakalpate/ parituṣṭāsmi bhadram te mānuṣas te kṛto vidhiḥ, mamāpi tu vacaḥ pathyam bruvantyāḥ kuru maithili/ rāvaṇam bhaja bhartāram bhartāram sarvarakṣasām, vikrāntam rūpavantam ca sureśam iva vāsavam/ dakṣiṇam tyāgaśīlam ca sarvasya priyavādinam, mānuṣam kṛpaṇam rāmam tyaktvā rāvaṇam āśraya/ divyāṅgarāgā vaidehi divyābharaṇabhūṣitā, adya prabhṛti lokānām īśvarī bhava/ agneḥ svāhā yathā devī cīvendrasya śobhane, kim te rāmena vaidehi krpanena gatāvusā/ etad uktam ca me vākvam vadi tvam na karisyasi,asmin muhūrte sarvās tvām bhaksayisyāmahe vayam/ anyā tu vikatā nāma lambamāna payodharā, abravīt kupitā sītām mustim udyamya garjatī/ bahūny apratirūpāni vacanāni sudurmate, anukrośān mṛdutvāc ca sodhāni tava maithili/ na ca nah kuruse vākyam hitam kālapuraskṛtam, ānītāsi samudrasya pāram anyair durāsadam/ rāvanāntahpuram ghoram pravistā cāsi maithili, rāvanasya gṛhe rudhā asmābhis tu surakṣitā/ na tvām śaktaḥ paritrātum api sākṣāt puramdaraḥ, kuruṣva hitavādinyā vacanam mama maithili/ alam aśruprapātena tvaja śokam anarthakam, bhaja prītim praharsam ca tvajaitām nitvadainvatām/ sīte rāksasarājena saha krīda vathāsukham, jānāsi hi vathā bhīru strīnām yauvanam adhruvam/ yāvan na te vyatikrāmet tāvat sukham avāpnuhi, udyānāni ca ramyāṇi parvatopavanāni ca, saha rākṣasarājena cara tvam madirekṣaṇe/ strīsahasrāṇi te sapta vaśe sthāsyanti sundari, rāvanam bhaja bhartāram bhartāram sarvaraksasām/ utpātya vā te hrdayam bhaksayisyāmi maithili, yadi me vyāhṛtam vākyam na yathāvat karisyasi/ tataś candodarī nāma rāksasī krūradarśanā, bhrāmayantī mahac chūlam idam vacanam abravīt/ imām harinalokākṣīm trāsotkampapayodharām, rāvanena hrtām drstvā daurhrdo me mahān abhūt/ vakrtplīham athotpīdam hrdavam ca sabandhanam. antrāny api tathā śīrsam khādeyam iti me matih/ tatas tu praghasā nāma rākṣasī vākyam abravīt, kantham asyā nrśamsāyāh pīdayāmah kim āsyate/ nivedyatām tato rājñe mānusī sā mrteti ha, nātra kaś cana samdehah khādateti sa vaksyati/ tatas tv ajāmukhī nāma rāksasī vākyam abravīt, viśasyemām tatah sarvān samān kuruta pīlukān/ vibhajāma tatah sarvā vivādo me na rocate, peyam ānīyatām ksipram mālyam ca vividham bahu/ tatah śūrpanakhā nāma rāksasī vākyam abravīt, ajāmukhā yad uktam hi tad eva mama rocate/ surā cānīyatām kṣipram sarvaśokavināśinī, mānuṣam māmsam āsādya nṛtyāmo 'tha nikumbhilām/ evam sambhartsyamānā sā sītā surasutopamā., rāksasībhih sughorābhir dhairyam utsriya roditi/

Having extensively extolled the unique magnificene and bravery of Mahasura Ravana who had controlled the celestial Dwashaaditys, Ekaadasa Rudras, Ashta Vasus, and Ashvini Kumaras, let alone daanavamaanavas, the rakshasis, especially the flesh eaters, drunkards, threatened Devi Sita and shouted at her as to why and how she ought not to marry the history making over lord of the world. Then the Rakshasis got gadually ignited, frustrated and exasperated and jibed at her: 'After all you are a maanva's wife and is infatuated by a human Rama, who was ousted out from his kingdom, left to his fate in the wilderness exposed to cruel wild animals, ever tormented and harassed.' Then Devi Sita replied rather boldly: yad idam lokavidvistam udāharatha samgatāh, naitan manasi vākvam me kilbisam pratitisthati/ na mānusī rāksasasya bhārvā bhavitum arhati,kāmam khādata mām sarvā na karisvāmi vo vacah, dīno vā rājvahīno vā yo me bhartā sa me guruḥ/ you have colleted together and seeking to pressurise me on and on. Your sinful words of absurdities and misleading dubious means could have the least impact on me even for a second. Could a human housewife be ever marry a Rakshasa! You might torture me, threaten me to death and even devour me in pieces, but could never ever yield!Yes, my dear husband was thrown out from his kingdom, but he is my master, preceptor, and my blemishless attachment to him is everlasting as I survive. Take the examples of Devi Suvarchala to Surya, Shachi Devi in the service of Indra, Arundhati Devi to Maharshi Vasisththa, Devi Rohini to Chandra Deva, Sukanya to Chyavana Muni, Savitri to Satyavaan, Devi Shrimati to Kapila Maharshi, Madayanti to Soudaasa, Devi Keshini to Sagara, Damayanti to Nala the Nishedha Naresha and so on. Now, let me have the self contentment to earnestly get attached to Shri Rama the Ikshvaaku Shiromani! As Devi Sita's assertiveness was reiterated again and again, then being anxiously following the proceedings of the action scenario, Pavana Kumara Veera-Anjaneya was noticing the efforts and threats of the Rakshasis surrounding her. tām abhikramya

samrabdhā vepamānām samantatah, bhrśam samlilihur dīptān pralambadaśanacchadān/ ūcuś ca paramakruddhāh pragrhyāśu paraśvadhān, neyam arhati bhartāram rāvanam rāksasādhipam/ sā bhartsyamānā bhīmābhī rākṣasībhir varānanā, sā bāṣpam apamārjantī śimśapām tām upāgamat/ Then the entire group of Rakshasis closely encircled, got into misbehavior towards Sita angrily and shouting and yelling. They roared in high pitch: Neecha maanavi! Tell us whether you should atonce admit whether or not marry the King or not! tatas tām śimśapām sītā rākṣasībhiḥ samāvṛtā, abhigamya viśālākṣī tasthau śokapariplutā/Then Vishalalochana Vaideyi being drowned deep into the 'duhkha samudra saagara' got shrunk to a close corner of the tree trunk as the ugly and monstrous rakshsis still edging nearer and closer. Then one of the worst of the Vikaraala Rakshasi named 'Vinata' with her huge and distrored figure of protruded and shapeless sromach shouted: Dirty woman, enough of this nonsense of your wreched husband, devotion and such filthy talk. Do not over do this as you would soon real the consequencess. As a last chance, either you agree to Ravana or not. We could give you the option of yes or no! Then another Rakshasi named Vikata pushed others as she was with ground drooping breasts and readily disgusting hoarse tone: 'Hopeless Site! you have lost your head and senses. So far you do not seem to realise that you are under custody and not in Rayana's Antahpura. You have not yet faced the worse side of Ravana. Even Indra would not be able to save you from this situation. There is no point in crying on and on. Forget your principles and self restraints. Life is short and youthfulness is shorter dissloving much faster. Enjoy the 'here and now' as tomorrow remains tragic as in the long run one is dead! Then another Rakshasi named 'Prathasa' said in bursting anger looking at the co rakshasis: let us throttle this hopeless woman quietly and inform the King that this human female in our custody then the latter might as well instruct us saying: 'why do you not enjoy pieces of her body! Another Rakshasi named 'Ajamukhi' further commented: 'I am not happy and excited n this wastage of time as the idea of killing the human female; come let us initiate the action of mincing her body and share them at once, and simultaneously get the cooking utensils and the accompanying powders, spices, chillis, salt, and so on! Yet another Rakshasi named 'Shurmanakha' commented on what Ajamukhi said; I might only add that in this memorable party, we must add to the list by way of 'suraapaana' and nritya naatya while rejoicing 'nara maamsa' that too a delicacy of a female!' As the brutal and monstrous Rakshasis commenced their plans, the celestial like Devi Sita broke down into non stop cryings with fright and body shiverings of facing a deathlike precipice.

Sargas Twenty Five and Twenty Six

Torally rattled by the perilous intimidation of the Rakshasis to nearly kill her and celebrate, Devi Sita nearly resorted to 'praana tyaaga' especially cursing her fate still disabling her from Shri Rama darshana.

Tathā tāsām vadantīnām paruṣam dāruṇam bahu, rākṣasīnām asaumyānām ruroda janakātmajā/ evam uktā tu vaidehī rākṣasībhir manasvinī, uvāca paramatrastā bāṣpagadgadayā girā/ na mānuṣī rākṣasasya bhāryā bhavitum arhati, kāmam khādata mām sarvā na kariṣyāmi vo vacaḥ/ sā rākṣasī madhyagatā sītā surasutopamā, na śarma lebhe duḥkhārtā rāvaṇena ca tarjitā/ vepate smādhikam sītā viśantīvāngam ātmanaḥ, vane yūthaparibhraṣṭā mrgī kokair ivārditā/ sā tv aśokasya vipulām śākhām ālambya puṣpitām, cintayām āsa śokena bhartāram bhagnamānasā/ sā snāpayantī vipulau stanau netrajalasravaiḥ, cintayantī na śokasya tadāntam adhigacchati/ sā vepamānā patitā pravāte kadalī yathā, rākṣasīnām bhayatrastā vivarṇavadanābhavat/ tasyā sā dīrghavipulā vepantyāḥ sītayā tadā, dadṛśe kampinī veṇī vyālīva parisarpatī/ sā niḥśvasantī duḥkhārtā śokopahatacetanā, ārtā vyasrjad aśrūṇi maithilī vilalāpa ha/ hā rāmeti ca duḥkhārtā punar hā lakṣmaṇeti ca, hā śvaśru mama kausalye hā sumitreti bhāvini/ lokapravādaḥ satyo 'yam paṇḍitaiḥ samudāhṛtaḥ, akāle durlabho mṛtyuḥ striyā vā puruṣasya vā/ yatrāham ābhiḥ krūrābhī rākṣasībhir ihārditā, jīvāmi hīnā rāmeṇa muhūrtam api duḥkhitā/eṣālpapuṇyā kṛpaṇā vinaśiṣyāmy anāthavat, samudramadhye nau pūrṇā vāyuvegair ivāhatā/ bhartāram tam apaśyantī rākṣasīvaśam āgatā, sīdāmi khalu śokena kūlam toyahatam yathā/tam padmadalapatrākṣam simhavikrāntagāminam, dhanyāh paśyanti me nātham krtajñam privavādinam/ sarvathā tena hīnāvā

rāmeṇa viditātmanā, tīṣkṇam viṣam ivāsvādya durlabham mama jīvitam/ kīdṛśam tu mayā pāpam purā dehāntare kṛtam, yenedam prāpyate duḥkham mayā ghoram sudāruṇam/ jīvitam tyaktum icchāmi śokena mahatā vṛtā, rākṣasībhiś ca rakṣantyā rāmo nāsādyate mayā/ dhig astu khalu mānuṣyam dhig astu paravaśyatām, na śakyam yat parityaktum ātmacchandena jīvitam/

As Devi Sita was scared and panicked that the cruel Rakshasis were preparing her murder by throttling and informing Ravana that she committed suicide, she entreated them as were closely encicling her in shaken up low and whispering tone. 'Kindly understand that a human female could never marry a Rakshasa. Even if you eat me alive, then again I could even dream like that.' As she pleaded likewise, she was looking like a lamb seeking to hide its face as was attacked by a pack of wolves. She was shivering with the fear of death being round the corner. Like disastrous winds hit a platain tree, she fell down in semi-consciouness. What with fear as though that death was closeby, she was breathing fast at times and too slow as of seemingly still at others. It was at that time that she seemed to whisper: hā rāmeti ca duhkhārtā punar hā laksmaneti ca, hā śvaśru mama kausalve hā sumitreti bhāvini/ lokapravādah satvo 'yam panditaih samudāhrtah, akāle durlabho mrtyuh striyā vā purusasya vā/ yatrāham ābhih krūrābhī rākṣasībhir ihārditā, jīvāmi hīnā rāmeṇa muhūrtam api duḥkhitā/ 'Ha Rama, ha Lakshmana! Ha my mother-in-law Devi Kousalya!' That was how, Devi Sita was crying away non stop. She futhered whispered: 'Lokokti (adage) states: neither a male nor a female would face death unless so destined and scripted on one's face by 'Vidhaata'. But contrary to his writing so, the Rakshasis appear to do so in my case as I might have to die in their hands. It appears that in my earlier life I had not stored up adequte 'punya' and hence am on the verge of death on the unfortunate analogy of a big Sea Vessel stuffed up with disproportionate weight would sink at mid sea by stormy winds. bhartāram tam apaśyantī rāksasīvaśam āgatā, sīdāmi khalu śokena kūlam toyahatam yathā/tam padmadalapatrāksam simhavikrāntagāminam, dhanyāh paśyanti me nātham kṛtajñam priyavādinam/ sarvathā tena hīnāyā rāmena viditātmanā, tīsknam visam ivāsvādya durlabham mama jīvitam/ What a misfortune as am not blessed to vision my Pati Deva for long long times. Now instead I am ensnared into these unending misfortunes cruelly denied of his sweet company. But day by day my patience is evaporating like camphor. While missing that Atma Jani Rama's darshan is getting faded by the months, weeks and days, even by resiting the need for consuming poison. 'Manava jeevana and Paratantra'- or human life and dependence on others are like two concepts negating each other; alas I am not free to take my own life at my volition itself!

Sarga Twenty Six Continued:

Prasaktāśrumukhīty evam bruvantī janakātmajā, adhomukhamukhī bālā vilaptum upacakrame/ unmatteva pramatteva bhrāntacitteva śocatī, upāvrttā kiśorīva viveṣṭantī mahītale/ rāghavasyāpra mattasya raksasā kāmarūpinā, rāyanena pramathyāham ānītā krośatī balāt/ rāksasī vaśam āpannā bhartyamānā sudāruṇam, cintayantī suduḥkhārtā nāham jīvitum utsahe/ na hi me jīvitenārtho naivārthair na ca bhūṣaṇaiḥ, vasantyā rākṣasī madhye vinā rāmaṁ mahāratham/ dhin mām anāryām asatīṁ yāhaṁ tena vinā kṛtā, muhūrtam api raksāmi jīvitam pāpajīvitā/ kā ca me jīvite śraddhā sukhe vā tam priyam vinā, bhartāram sāgarāntāyā vasudhāyāh priyam vadam/ bhidyatām bhaksyatām vāpi śarīram visrjāmy aham, na cāpy aham ciram duhkham saheyam priyavarjitā/ caranenāpi savyena na sprseyam nisācaram, rāvaṇam kim punar aham kāmayeyam vigarhitam/ pratyākhyātam na jānāti nātmānam nātmanah kulam, yo nṛśaṁsa svabhāvena māṁ prārthayitum icchati/ chinnā bhinnā vibhaktā vā dīpte vāgnau pradīpitā, rāvaṇam nopatistheyam kim pralāpena vaś ciram/khyātah prājñaḥ kṛtajñaś ca sānukrośaś ca rāghavaḥ, sadvrtto niranukrośah śanke madbhāgyasamkṣayāt/ rākṣasānām janasthāne sahasrāni caturdaśa, yenaikena nirastāni sa mām kim nābhipadyate/ niruddhā rāvanenāham alpavīryena raksasā, samarthah khalu me bhartā rāvanam hantum āhave/ virādho dandakāranye yena rāksasapumgavah, rane rāmena nihatah sa mām kim nābhipadyate/ kāmam madhye samudrasya lankeyam duspradharṣaṇā/ na tu rāghavabānānām gatirodhī ha vidvate/kim nu tat kāranam vena rāmo drdhaparākramah,

raksasāpahrtām bhāryām istām nābhyavapadyate/ ihasthām mām na jānīte śanke laksmanapūrvajah, jānann api hi tejasvī dharṣaṇāṁ marṣayiṣyati/ hṛteti yo 'dhigatvā māṁ rāghavāya nivedayet, gṛdhrarājo 'pi sa raṇe rāvaṇena nipātitaḥ/ kṛtaṁ karma mahat tena māṁ tadābhyavapadyatā, tiṣṭhatā rāvaṇadvandve vṛddhenāpi jaṭāyuṣā/ yadi mām iha jānīyād vartamānām sa rāghavaḥ, adya bāṇair abhikruddhah kuryāl lokam arāksasam/ vidhamec ca purīm lankām sosavec ca mahodadhim, rāvanasva ca nīcasya kīrtim nāma ca nāśayet/ tato nihatanathānām rākṣasīnām gṛhe gṛhe, yathāham evam rudatī tathā bhūyo na samśayaḥ, anviṣya rakṣasām lankām kuryād rāmaḥ salakṣmaṇaḥ/ na hi tābhyām ripur dṛṣṭo muhūtam api jīvati, citā dhūmākulapathā gṛdhramaṇḍalasamkulā, acireṇa tu lankeyam śmaśānasadrśī bhavet/ acirenaiva kālena prāpsyāmy eva manoratham, dusprasthāno 'yam ākhyāti sarvesām vo viparvayah/ yādrśāni tu drśyante lankāyām aśubhāni tu, acirenaiva kālena bhavisyati hataprabhā/ nūnam lankā hate pāpe rāvane rāksasādhipe, śosam vāsvati durdharsā pramadā vidhavā vathā/ pusyotsavasamrddhā ca nastabhartrī sarāksasā, bhavisyati purī lankā nastabhartrī yathānganā/ nūnam rākṣasakanyānām rudantīnām grhe grhe, śroṣyāmi nacirād eva duḥkhārtānām iha dhvanim/ sāndhakārā hatadyotā hatarākṣasapumgavā, bhaviṣyati purī lankā nirdagdhā rāmasāyakaih/ yadi nāma sa śūro mām rāmo raktāntalocanah, jānīvād vartamānām hi rāvanasva niveśane/ anena tu nrśamsena rāvaņenādhamena me, samayo yas tu nirdistas tasya kālo 'yam āgataḥ/ akāryam ye na jānanti nairṛtāḥ pāpakāriṇaḥ, adharmāt tu mahotpāto bhaviṣyati hi sāmpratam/ naite dharmam vijānanti rākṣasāḥ piśitāśanāh, dhruvam mām prātarāśārthe rāksasah kalpavisyati/ sāham katham karisyāmi tam vinā priyadarśanam, rāmam raktāntanayanam apaśyantī suduhkhitā/ yadi kaś cit pradātā me visasyādya bhaved iha, kṣipraṁ vaivasvataṁ devaṁ paśyeyaṁ patinā vinā/ nājānāj jīvatīṁ rāmaḥ sa māṁ lakṣmaṇapūrvajaḥ jānantau tau na kuryātām norvyām hi mama mārgaṇam/ nūnam mamaiva śokena sa vīro lakṣmaṇāgrajaḥ, devalokam ito yātas tyaktvā deham mahītale/ dhanyā devāḥ sagandharvāḥ siddhāś ca paramarsayah, mama paśyanti ye nātham rāmam rājīvalocanam/ atha vā na hi tasyārthe dharmakāmasya dhīmatah, mayā rāmasya rājarser bhāryayā paramātmanah/ dṛśyamāne bhavet prītah sauhrdam nāsty apasyatah, nāsayanti krtaghrās tu na rāmo nāsayisyati/ kim nu me na gunāh ke cit kim vā bhāgya ksayo hi me, yāham sītā varārhena hīnā rāmena bhāminī/ śreyo me jīvitān martum vihīnā yā mahātmanā, rāmād aklistacāritrāc chūrāc chatrunibarhanāt atha vā nyastasastrau tau vane mūlaphalāśanau, bhrātarau hi nara śresthau carantau vanagocarau/ atha vā rāksasendrena rāvanena durātmanā, chadmanā ghātitau śūrau bhrātarau rāmalaksmanau/ sāham evamgate kāle martum icchāmi sarvathā, na ca me vihito mṛtyur asmin duḥkhe 'pi vartati/ dhanyāḥ khalu mahātmāno munayaḥ satyasammatāh, jitātmāno mahābhāgā vesām na stah priyāpriye/ priyān na sambhaved duhkham apriyād adhikam bhayam, tābhyām hi ye viyujyante namas tesām mahātmanām/ sāham tyaktā priyeneha rāmena viditātmanā, prānāms tyaksyāmi pāpasya rāvanasya gatā vasam/

As her ever flowing tears continued incessantly, shaken by horror, fear and as if she was dodging death right ahead, parama saadhni Janaka nandini nearly lost her consciousness in semi madness. Then she was whispering: rāghavasyāpra -mattasya rakṣasā kāmarūpiṇā, rāvaṇena pramathyāham ānītā krośatī balāt/ rāksasī vasam āpannā bhartvamānā sudārunam, cintavantī suduhkhārtā nāham jīvitum utsahe/ na hi me jīvitenārtho naivārthair na ca bhūṣaṇaiḥ, vasantyā rākṣasī madhye vinā rāmam mahāratham/ Hai! Maayavi Maareecha separated me and my Swami, as I was then nervous; I hate myself to give an opportunity to let Ravana lift me up in his mighty grip and now being harassed by Rakshsis who are threatening to kill me and enjoy my flesh. Fie and curse the moment when I was found on earth to pass through the series of hazards. Now is the climax. In fact, it appears that all my married life was saturated with endless tribulations and now, even the threats of death. I was born to suffer and survived through various phases each of which was fraught with dangers of life at each step of married life. Believe me, I would hate to touch Ravana even with the left toe of the little finger of my left leg. Rakshasa Rakshasis! Of what avail of my keep crying all the time; better kill me, slaughter me to pieces, throw me into fire and make ash out of it. Still, I could never get close to Ravana. Raghunadha is world renowned, inanni, kritagina-sadaachari-parama dayaalu undoubtedly. How should he share my misfortunes. He had the ability to smash down fourteen thousand rakshasaas; could he not come to me for my rescue! But now this trivial Rayana had imprisoned me and surely he deserves destruction. In the dandaskaranya, he killed

Viraatha, but why does he not still arrive here. May be Lanka is inaccessible being far as of this side of the Maha Samudra but the heros of Rama Lakshmanas could surely reach here and destroy Ravan and his saamraajya. kim nu tat kāraṇam yena rāmo drdhaparākramah, rakṣasāpahṛtām bhāryām iṣṭām nābhyavapadyate/ What might indeed be the reason that they still not have arrived here to free me facing threats of death! ihasthām mām na jānīte śanke laksmanapūrvajah, jānann api hi tejasvī dharsanām marşayişyati/ hṛteti yo 'dhigatvā mām rāghavāya nivedayet, gṛdhrarājo 'pi sa raṇe rāvaṇena nipātitaḥ/ kṛtam karma mahat tena mām tadābhyavapadyatā, tiṣṭhatā rāvaṇadvandve vṛddhenāpi jaṭāyuṣā/ yadi mām iha jānīvād vartamānām sa rāghavah, adva bānair abhikruddhah kurvāl lokam arāksasam/Possibly, Rama had not realised where might I have disappeared. Bur Ravana as was forcibly abducting me,he encountered Gridhra Raja Jatayu who was forced to defeat and fell down to earth and could have hinted to Rama of my place in Lanka. If only Jatayu had done so, Rama would uprooted the entire Rakshasas on the earth! Eventually then these trecherous Rakshasi widows would have been crying and shouting slogans against Ravana! But unfortunately the situation had reversed and these Rakshalis are after my death and my flesh! anvişya rakşasām lankām kuryād rāmah salakşmaṇaḥ, na hi tābhyām ripur dṛṣṭo muhūtam api jīvati, citā dhūmākulapathā grdhramandalasamkulā/ acirena tu lankevam śmaśānasadrśī bhavet/ acirenaiva kālena prāpsyāmy eva manoratham, dusprasthāno 'yam ākhyāti sarveṣām vo viparyayah/ In any case however Shri Rama Lakshmanas must surely be searching for me but right now, my time is ticking away meanwhile. As they reach Lanka, this should turn into a burial ground and only owls would freely futter here freely. Then only my life ambition would be fulfilled. May that most auspicious time arrive soon. You cruel rakshasis should soon be decimated then. yādṛśāni tu dṛśyante lankāyām asubhāni tu, acirenaiva kālena bhavisvati hataprabhā/ nūnam lankā hate pāpe rāvane rākṣasādhipe, śoṣam yāsyati durdharṣā pramadā vidhavā yathā/ It apppears that the premonitions of 'Lankaanaashana' are strong and then the spell of the opulence and glitter would vanish into thin air. As the dreaded sinful Ravana once drowned in the high tides of the Maha Samudra, then Lankapuri gets widowed soon. Undoubtedly then each and every household in Lanka there should be heartrending 'aarta nadaas' reach reverbarting on the sky. akāryam ye na jānanti nairrtāh pāpakārinah, adharmāt tu mahotpāto bhavişyati hi sāmpratam/ naite dharmam vijānanti rākṣasāḥ piśitāśanāḥ, dhruvam mām prātarāśārthe rāksasah kalpavisvati/ This paapaachari Ravana's auspicious killing is certain nodoubt but still he is blissfully unaware of his disastrous catostrophy too soon. Right now but, the explosive ahead is least realised by the flesh consuming Rakshasis who are opaque to even know the roots of virtue and justice. They are only waiting for my dead body flesh. sāham katham karisyāmi tam vinā privadarśanam, rāmam raktāntanayanam apaśyantī suduhkhitā/ yadi kaś cit pradātā me visasyādya bhaved iha, ksipram vaivasvatam devam paśyeyam patinā vinā/Then what else could I the lonely and helpless single human amid the cruel rakshasis do without the appearance of Rama. Is it possible any further that I could drag on my living now devoid of Shri Rama darshana with his radiant looks and with the forttune of his 'charana sparsha' before proceeding to Yama loka! Hope on finding my dead body, he himself get prepared to 'Atma tyaaga' and visit Deva Lokas to witness the joy of deva-gandharva-siddha-maharshis anxious for his 'darshana'! Surely indeed, he should not resort to such steps! priyān na sambhayed duhkham apriyād adhikam bhayam, tābhyām hi ve vivujyante namas tesām mahātmanām/ sāham tyaktā priveneha rāmena viditātmanā, prāṇāms tyakṣyāmi pāpasya rāvaṇasya gatā vaśam/ As I may have to soon leave Mother Prithyi, may I sincerely pray to Mahatmas on earth or upper lokas, as they are totally immune from the likes and dislikes, sucesses and failures, positivities or negativities of one's living. But what a misfortune of my life to be presumably exiting it without the darshan of 'atma inaani' Shri Rama as death appears to be glaring at me as I am in the close clutches of the most dreaded personification of wicked immorality of Ravana!

Sarga Twenty Seven

Even as the cruelmost Rakshasis surrounded Devi Sita to attack, the eldest of them named Trijata screamed from her ominous dream and described tragic forebodes of 'Lanka Vinaashana' too soon

Ity uktāh sītayā ghoram rāksasyah krodhamūrchitāh, kāś cij jagmus tad ākhyātum rāvanasya tarasvinah/ tatah sītām upāgamya rāksasyo ghoradarśanāh, punah parusam ekārtham anarthārtham athābruvan/adyodānīm tavānārye sīte pāpaviniścaye, rākṣasyo bhakṣayiṣyanti māmsam etad yathāsukham/ sītām tābhir anāryābhir drstvā samtarjitām tadā, rāksasī trijatāvrddhā sayānā vākyam abravīt/ātmānam khādatānārvā na sītām bhaksavisvatha, janakasva sutām istām snusām daśarathasva ca/ svapno hy adya mayā dṛṣṭo dāruṇo romaharṣaṇaḥ, rākṣasānām abhāvāya bhartur asyā bhavāya ca/ evam uktās trijatayā rākṣasyaḥ krodhamūrchitāḥ, sarvā evābruvan bhītās trijaṭām tām idam vacaḥ/ kathayasya tyayā drstah syapne 'yam kīdrśo niśi/ tāsām śrutyā tu yacanam rāksasīnām mukhodgatam, uvāca vacanam kāle trijatāsvapnasamsritam/gajadantamayīm divyām sibikām antariksagām, yuktām vājisahasrena svayam āsthāya rāghavah/ svapne cādya mayā dṛstā sītā śuklāmbarāvṛtā, sāgarena pariksiptam śvetaparvatam āsthitā, rāmena samgatā sītā bhāskarena prabhā yathā/ rāghavaś ca mayā drstaś caturdantam mahāgajam, ārūdhah śailasamkāśam cacāra sahalaksmanah/ tatas tau naraśārdūlau dīpyamānau svatejasā, śuklamālyāmbaradharau jānakīm paryupasthitau/ tatas tasya nagasyāgre ākāśasthasya dantinah, bhartrā parigrhītasya jānakī skandham āśritā/ bhartur aṅkāt samutpatya tatah kamalalocanā, candrasūrvau mayā drstā pānibhvām parimārjatī/ tatas tābhvām kumārābhvām āsthitah sa gajottamaḥ, sītayā ca viśālākṣyā lankāyā upari sthitaḥ/ pāṇḍurarṣabhayuktena rathenāṣṭayujā svayam, śuklamālyāmbaradharo lakṣmaṇena samāgataḥ, lakṣmaṇena saha bhrātrā sītayā saha bhāryayā/ vimānāt puspakād adva rāvanah patito bhuvi, krsvapānah strivā drsto mundah krsnāmbarah punah rathena kharayuktena raktamālyānulepanah, prayāto daksinām āśām pravistah kardamam hradam/ kanthe baddhvā daśagrīvam pramadā raktavāsinī, kālī kardamaliptāngī diśam yāmyām prakarşati/ varāhena daśagrīvah śimśumārena cendrajit, ustrena kumbhakarnaś ca prayāto daksinām diśam/ samājas ca mahān vṛtto gītavāditraniḥsvanaḥ, pibatām raktamālyānām rakṣasām raktavāsasām/ lankā ceyam purī ramyā savājirathasamkulā, sāgare patitā drstā bhagnagopuratoranā/ pītva tailam pranrttāś ca prahasantyo mahāsvanāh, lankāyām bhasmarūksāyām sarvā rāksasayositah/kumbhakarnādayaś ceme sarve rāksasapumgavāh, raktam nivasanam grhya pravistā gomayahrade/ apagacchata naśyadhvam sītām āpnoti rāghavah, ghātayet paramāmarsī sarvaih sārdham hi rāksasaih/ priyām bahumatām bhāryām vanavāsam anuvratām, bhartsitām tarjitām vāpi nānumamsyati rāghavah/ tad alam krūravākyair vah sāntvam evābhidhīvatām, abhiyācāma vaidehīm etad dhi mama rocate/ vasvā hv evam vidhah syapno duhkhitāyāh pradrśyate, sā duhkhair bahubhir muktā priyam prāpnoty anuttamam/ bhartsitām api yācadhvam rākṣasyaḥ kim vivakṣayā, rāghavād dhi bhayam ghoram rākṣasānām upasthitam/ pranipāta prasannā hi maithilī janakātmajā, alam esā paritrātum rāksasyo mahato bhayāt/ api cāsyā viśālāksyā na kim cid upalaksaye, viruddham api cāngesu susūksmam api laksmanam/ chāyā vaigunya mātram tu śanke duhkham upasthitam, aduhkhārhām imām devīm vaihāyasam upasthitām/ arthasiddhim tu vaidehyāh paśyāmy aham upasthitām, rāksasendravināśam ca vijayam rāghavasya ca/ nimittabhūtam etat tu śrotum asyā mahat priyam, drśyate ca sphurac cakṣuḥ padmapatram ivāyatam/ īṣac ca hrṣito vāṣyā dakṣiṇāyā hy adakṣiṇaḥ, akasmād eva vaidehyā bāhur ekaḥ prakampate/ karenuhastapratimah savyaś corur anuttamah, vepan sūcayatīvāsyā rāghavam puratah sthitam/ pakṣī ca śākhā nilayam pravistah; punah punaś cottamasāntvavādī, sukhāgatām vācam udīravānah; punah punaś codavatīva hrstah/

As the attacking rakshasis kept on Devi Sita haranging in her almost inaudible and low voiced fanciful musings, mentioning of her own fate and of Lanka's doom, they shouted at her: adyodānīm tavānārye sīte pāpaviniścaye, rākṣasyo bhakṣayiṣyanti māmsam etad yathāsukha/ Paapa chintaka Site! Now, right away, we are going to throttle you and rejoice your dead body flesh. sītām tābhir anāryābhir dṛṣṭvā samtarjitām tadā, rākṣasī trijaṭāvṛddhā śayānā vākyam abravīt/ ātmānam khādatānāryā na sītām bhakṣayiṣyatha, janakasya sutām iṣṭām snuṣām daśarathasya ca/ svapno hy adya mayā dṛṣṭo dāruṇo romaharṣaṇaḥ, rākṣasānām abhāvāya bhartur asyā bhavāya ca/ As the attacking 'nishaacharis' thunderous shouting sounds were heard, the old and very aged rakshasi named 'Trijata' was suddenly woken up from her horrible dream and screamed and yelled demanding the attention of the attacking rakshasis. She stated: 'Go away and get lost; brainless nishacharies! don't you dare to harass Devi Sita any further! I had been just woken up all of sudden from the ugliest possible dream righ now! This is all

about our peril and of auspiciousness for Sita.' Trijata was literally shivering when she shouted thus: In this nasty and wretched dream I found a celestial mountain cave on the fast revolving sky made of huge elephant tusks pulled by some hundred white horses with white garlands while Shri Rama accompanied by Lakshmana were seated firmly. In that horrible dream, Sita was clad in milk white robes. As I visioned Raghu Rama again very keenly and he along with Lakshmana behind, Devi Sita riding the elephant joined them and she was seated besides Rama smilingly. tatas tābhyām kumārābhyām āsthitaḥ sa gajottamah, sītayā ca viśālākṣyā lankāyā upari sthitah/ Then as all the three being settled on the Iravata like Gaja Raja, proceeded to Lanka Dvipa and saw the Kingdom critically as the elephant stood still on the sky. Then in that disastrous dream, I saw somebody like our great King Ravana just before me. He appeared to have bathed in oil and was robed in oil drenched blood red attire. He appeared to have been drunk with intoxicants and was garlanded in karaveera flowers. As was dressed thus, King Ravana appeared to have just got down from pushpaka viman to earth. It then looked as if he was dragging a female. At that time, King Ravana was wearing dark clothing and was riding a donkey chariot. That woman was looking shocked and rattled. Her face was frightened with madness. They both were airborne flying southbound. Then I saw the King descending and touching the earth by the air borne chariot of donkeys. The woman thus having been seated on his lap rolled down to earth as having been dragged. Then the female was shivering with fright and was screaming like a mad womam in distress, half clad, and was shouting curses at him. Then King Ravana dragged the woman into a hell like dirty and dingy cave with disgusting smell. There was a water body there around with slush and flies of large size. As her 'dussvapana' of coninued, Trijata continued: As Ravana proceeded further south ward, he witnessed yet another water body which did not, no dobout, have slush and mud as the waters were clean, but there was a black woman wearing red clothing crying away as Ravana was forciblly dragging her further south. Then one might notice Mahabali Kumbhakarna snoring in sound slumber. Mahasura Ravana's son Indrajit was bathing in streams of oil. It appeared that Kumbhakarna was in the sleeping posture on a cot hung down on the hump of a camel while Indrajit was bathing on the back of a huge frog. The aged Trijata then passed above the house of Vibhishana wearing white clothes, white garland of flowers perfumed with white chandana. Vibhisana's residence was resounding with drums, music and dance. Then Vibhishana was visioned as seared on a white elephant. Then Rakshasi Trijata's dussvapna continued showing multitudes of Royal horses and elephants were seen sinking as forcibly pulled down by high and gushing tides of the great ocean. Lanka drushtvaa maya sapne Raavanen aabhi rakshati, dagdhaa Ramasya dootena vaanarena tarsvitaa/Trijata further dreamt that one mighty Vaanara as the messenger of Shri Rama would very soon be burnt off to devastation of the fabulously built up and well decorated Lankapuri of the world renown. Then Lankapuri like a wax made city of fame would turn to a huge 'smashaana', the burial ground. Then Vrisshha Rakshasi Trijata shouting loud at the brain weak yet brawn mighty Maha Ranshisis about to devour Devi Sita alive addressed them as follows: apagacchata naśyadhvam sītām āpnoti rāghavah, ghātayet paramāmarsī sarvaih sārdham hi rākṣasaih/ priyām bahumatām bhāryām vanavāsam anuvratām, bhartsitām tarjitām vāpi nānumamsyati rāghavah/Stupid Rakshasis! Do you still wish to eat Devi Sita allow even after my explaining the details of my worst ever dreams as she indeed is an illustrious Pativrata of Shri Rama the signage of virtue, courage and proven invincibility. He would never pardon you, despite being a symbol of forgiveness of tolerable level, but not to throttle Sita's head and seek to eat her flesh! You must in fact fall at her feet straightaway and beg for your mercy! bhartsitām api yācadhvam rāksasyah kim vivaksayā, rāghavād dhi bhayam ghoram rāksasānām upasthitam/ pranipāta prasannā hi maithilī janakātmajā, alam esā paritrātum rāksasyo mahato bhayāt/ Maha Rakshasis!I do realise that you may all try to reply something or another, but of use and of substance could that be! You have perpetrated the most heinous and unimaginable act of depravity. Having encircled around her prepared to devour her alive, no amount of begging her now would whitewash that away by falling at feet and such dramatics. The transformation would need to be a truly changed mindset. May be then your mercy appeals might be effective marginablty though. But once convinced she might have the evocation of forgiveness! Rakshasis! Do realise the analogy of the birds seated on the same tree branch have different mind sets, a very few being dharmic and many others of

<u>demonoic!</u> Very few with sonorous sounds of auspiciousness welcoming the arrival of their lovers but by and large with screeches of lust and hunger.

[Vishleshana of two birds seated on the same branch of a tree-source Mundaka Upanishad

Dve Suparnaa Sayuja sakhaaya samaanam vriksham parishasvajaate, tayoranyam pippalam svaaddhvatti anaishnan anyobhichaakasheeti/ (An analogy of two companion birds named Suparna and Sayuja is drawn sharing the same tree as one is busy eating the fruits of the tree while the other remains watching without tasting; this is just as two persons are enjoying the taste even as the other refrains. While one regales by rejoicing the sweet results of different kinds of material happpiness the other person calculates and weighs the pros and cons of the karma and the resultant reactions.]

Sargas Twenty Eight and Twenty Nine

<u>Despite Trijata's 'dussvapna' foreboding shouts of disasters about Ravana and Lanka Rajya</u>, <u>Devi Sita</u> continued to cry shell shocked; however gradually recoverd due to her own forevisions of auspiciousness.

Sā rāksasendrasva vaco niśamva; tad rāvanasvāprivam aprivārtā, Sītā vitatrāsa vathā vanānte; simhābhipannā gajarājakanyā/ sā rāksasī madhyagatā ca bhīrur; vāgbhir bhṛśam rāvanatarjitā ca, kāntāramadhye vijane visrstā; bāleva kanyā vilalāpa sītā/ satyam batedam pravadanti loke; nākālamṛtyur bhavatīti santaḥ,yatrāham evam paribhartsyamānā; jīvāmi kim cit kṣaṇam apy apuṇyā/ sukhād vihīnam bahuduḥkhapūrṇam; idam tu nūnam hṛdayam sthiram me, vidīryate yan na sahasradhādya; vajrāhatam śrngam ivācalasya/ naivāsti nūnam mama doṣam atra; vadhyāham asyāpriyadarśanasya, bhāvam na cāsyāham anupradātum; alam dvijo mantram ivādvijāya/ nūnam mamāngāny acirād anārvah; śastraih śitaiś chetsvati rāksasendrah, tasminn anāgacchati lokanāthe; garbhasthajantor iva śalyakrntah/ duhkham batedam mama duhkhitāyā; māsau cirāyābhigamisyato dvau, baddhasya vadhyasya yathā niśānte; rājāparādhād iva taskarasya/ hā rāma hā laksmana hā sumitre; hā rāma mātah saha me jananyā, esā vipadyāmy aham alpabhāgyā; mahārnave naur iva mūdha vātā/ tarasvinau dhārayatā mṛgasya; sattvena rūpam manujendraputrau, nūnam visastau mama kāraṇāt tau; simharşabhau dvāv iva vaidyutena/ nūnam sa kālo mṛgarūpadhārī; mām alpabhāgyām lulubhe tadānīm, yatrāryaputram visasarja mūḍhā; rāmānujam lakṣmaṇapūrvakam ca/ hā rāma satyavrata dīrghavāho; hā pūrnacandrapratimānavaktra, hā jīvalokasva hitah privas ca; vadhvām na mām vetsi hi rāksasānām/ ananyadevatvam iyam ksamā ca; bhūmau ca śayvā niyamaś ca dharme, patiyratātvam viphalam mamedam; kṛtam kṛtaghneṣv iva mānuṣāṇām/ mogho hi dharmaś carito mamāyam; tathaikapatnītvam idam nirartham, yā tvām na paśyāmi krśā vivarnā; hīnā tvayā samgamane nirāśā/ pitur nirdeśam niyamena krtvā; vanān nivrttaś caritavrataś ca, strībhis tu manye vipuleksanābhih; samramsyase vītabhayah kṛtārthah/ aham tu rāma tyayi jātakāmā; ciram vināśāya nibaddhabhāyā/ mogham caritvātha tapovratam ca; tyaksyāmi dhig jīvitam alpabhāgyā/ sā jīvitam ksipram aham tyajeyam; vişena śastrena śitena vāpi, vişasya dātā na tu me 'sti kaś cic; chastrasya vā veśmani rākṣasasya/śokābhitaptā bahudhā vicintya; sītātha venyudgrathanam grhītvā, udbadhya venyudgrathanena śīghram; aham gamiṣyāmi yamasya mūlam/ itīva sītā bahudhā vilapya; sarvātmanā rāmam anusmarantī, pravepamānā pariśuskavaktrā; nagottamam puspitam āsasāda/ upasthitā sā mrdur sarvagātrī; śākhām grhītvātha nagasya tasya, tasyās tu rāmam pravicintayantyā; rāmānujam svam ca kulam śubhāngyāḥ/ śokānimittāni tadā bahūni; dhairyārjitāni pravarāni loke, prādurnimittāni tadā babhūvuh; purāpi siddhāny upalaksitāni/

Acutely suffering the heart-rending distress of 'Pati Viyoga', Ravana's unthinkable advances to her, and the physical assaults by the Rakshasis surrrounding, Devi Sita truly realised the she was indeed like a she-elephant being attacked from all sides by a cruel lion. The felt that a lamb caught amid a pack of wolves. There is an adage as asserted by Mahatmas of virtue that as once a youthful person encounters

deathful crises, those are but passing phases being unbearable experiences. A well married female of excellent family upbringing and surfiet of dedication to husband should not imagine nightmares even if exposed to crises. sukhād vihīnam bahuduḥkhapūrṇam; idam tu nūnam hṛdayam sthiram me, vidīryate yan na sahasradhādya; vajrāhatam śṛṅgam ivācalasya/ Indeed my heart is bereft of happiness; nevertheless, one's inner strength fortified by 'atma nigrha' or immense resoluteness and single minded courage is truly comparable to a mountan minaret even hit by diamond like rocks. naivāsti nūnam mama doṣam atra; vadhyāham asyāpriyadarśanasya, bhāvam na cāsyāham anupradātum; alam dvijo mantram ivādvijāya/ nūnam mamāngāny acirād anāryaḥ; śastraiḥ śitaiś chetsyati rākṣasendraḥ, tasminn anāgacchati lokanāthe; garbhasthajantor iva śalyakṛntaḥ/ I am unfortunetely caught in the grip of Ravana hence atma tyaaga might not be a crime. Since a low class human is highly unworthy of teaching Veda vedangas, likewise I could never make him understand the values of 'paativratya'. Alas! May be this Ravana might not mince my body into pieces as Indra entered Devi Diti's garbha and minced parts of it!

[Vishleshana on Indra entering Devi Diti's garbha sourced from Maha Bhagavata Purana:

Chakravarti Bali, who was also punished by Vamana, the incarnation of Vishnu. Diti felt that Indra was responsible for several killings of her progeny including Hirayaksha and Hiranuyakasipu and thus her anger for Indra became intense. She thus requested her husband Kasyapa to bless her with a son who could kill Indra. Sage Kasyapa felt extremely sad that his wife was following a wicked route to bear her a son to kill Indra. He somehow desired that such an eventuality should never arise and planned to atleast prolong time for a year and asked Diti to follow very strict regime of personal sacrifice named 'Pumsavana'. During the year, Diti should not think ill of others, nor speak lies, nor hurt any body, nor eat flesh or fish, nor wear robes unwashed by herself, but worship Brahmanas, cows, and women with husbands and sons alive, in short follow a life of a hermit. Any discrepancy or deviation from the prescribed do's and don'ts would not only kill Indra but would become a friend and associate. The nephew Indra knew the intention of Diti, but pretended to help her in the Daily Worships by fetching flowers and fruits to Diti and such other services. At the time of Diti's delivery after a year, Indra who had yoga sidhis, like 'anima' and 'laghima' entered Diti's womb and with the help of his 'Vjara' (the Thunderbolt) cut the embryo into seven pieces and cut each piece to another seven pieces. Each of the fortynine pieces thus born became as many 'Maruts' who became demigods and thus Diti was purified of her envy and animosity of Lord Indra.]

Stanza 7 continued:

duḥkham batedam mama duḥkhitāyā; māsau cirāyābhigamiṣyato dvau, baddhasya vadhyasya yathā niśānte; rājāparādhād iva taskarasya/ hā rāma hā lakṣmaṇa hā sumitre; hā rāma mātaḥ saha me jananyā, eṣā vipadyāmy aham alpabhāgyā; mahārṇave naur iva mūḍha vātā/ Devi Sita continuos her distress: Am I not looking old and ugly! It is nearly two months since Ravana dragged me here. I am precisely in the hopeless situation of being imprisoned and kept awaiting death as on the night before Ha Rama Ha Lakshmana! Ha Devis Koushalya- Sumitra; this sinking boat of my 'praarabhha' is floating in the 'duhkha maha saagara' facing my termination!!

Sarga Twenty Nine continued:

Tathaa gataam tām aninditām; vyapetaharṣām paridīnamānasām, śubhām nimittāni śubhāni bhejire; naram śriyā juṣṭam ivopajīvina/ tasyāḥ śubham vāmam arālapakṣma; rājīvṛtam kṛṣṇaviśālaśuklam, prāspandataikam nayanam sukeśyā; mīnāhatam padmam ivābhitāmram/ bhujaś ca cārvañcitapīnavṛttaḥ; parārdhya kālāgurucandanārhaḥ, anuttamenādhyuṣitaḥ priyeṇa; cireṇa vāmaḥ samavepatāśu/ gajendrahastapratimaś ca pīnas; tayor dvayoḥ samhatayoḥ sujātaḥ, praspandamānaḥ punar ūrur asyā;

rāmam purastāt sthitam ācacakṣe/ śubham punar hemasamānavarṇam; īṣadrajodhvastam ivāmalākṣyāḥ, vāsaḥ sthitāyāḥ śikharāgradantyāḥ; kim cit parisramsata cārugātryāḥ/ etair nimittair aparaiś ca subhrūḥ; sambodhitā prāg api sādhusiddhaiḥ, vātātapaklāntam iva pranaṣṭam; varṣeṇa bījam pratisamjaharṣa/ tasyāḥ punar bimbaphalopamauṣṭham; svakṣibhrukeśāntam arālapakṣma, vaktram babhāse sitaśukladamṣṭram; rāhor mukhāc candra iva pramuktaḥ/ sā vītaśokā vyapanītatandrī; śāntajvarā harṣavibuddhasattvā, aśobhatāryā vadanena śukle; śītānśunā rātrir ivoditena/

Devi Sita then commenced the arrival of 'Shubha Soochana' or auguries of auspiciousness especially in the context of stepping forward to Shri Rama seva!tasyāh śubham vāmam arālapaksma; rājīvrtam kṛṣṇaviśālaśuklam, prāspandataikam nayanam sukeśyā; mīnāhatam padmam ivābhitāmram/ Devi Sita's left eyes of sparkle and dark eye brows commenced quivering like small fishes around petals of a lotus. bhuscha cārvañcitapīnavṛttah; parārdhya kālāgurucandanārhah, anuttamenādhyusitah priyena; cirena vāmah samavepatāśu/Her left shoulders which were in the past well smeared by fragrant sandalwood past as for long enticed by Rama while he was resting in comfort too got vibrated. gajendrahastapratimaś ca pīnas; tayor dvayoh saṃhatayoh sujātah, praspandamānah punar ūrur asvā; rāmam purastāt sthitam ācacakṣe/ Her left thigh of enviable roundness as of elephant trunk too was trembling repeatedly. śubham punar hemasamānavarņam; īṣadrajodhvastam ivāmalākṣyāḥ, vāsaḥ sthitāyāḥ śikharāgradantyāh; kim cit parisramsata cārugātryāh/ As Devi Sita with her sparkling set of teeth and radiantt face standing under the Ashoka tree, her silky dress draped on her fragile body was no doubt crumpled and even somewhat dirty as wavy by the sweep of winds but started quivering too. etair nimittair aparaiś ca subhrūḥ; sambodhitā prāg api sādhusiddhaiḥ, vātātapaklāntam iva pranasṭam; varşena bījam pratisamjaharşa/tasyāh punar bimbaphalopamauştham; svakşibhrukeśāntam arālapaksma, vaktram babhāse sitaśukladamstram; rāhor mukhāc candra iva pramuktah / As Devi Sita experienced these and such other 'shubha soochanas' were experienced she felt elated with self contentment with the moon like rejoicing of Rahu graha releasing the latter's tight grip.

Sarga Thirty

Hanuman witnessesd series of Ravana's sweet offers to wed Sita, her no-nonse reaction, his three month notice, violent threats of Rakshasis, Trijata's forebodings, now desires to appear before her, but how!.

Hanumān api vikrāntah sarvam śuśrāva tattvatah, sītāyās trijaṭāyāś ca rākṣasīnām ca tarjanam/ aveksamānas tām devīm devatām iva nandane, tato bahuvidhām cintām cintayām āsa vānarah/ yām kapīnām sahasrāni subahūny ayutāni ca, dikṣu sarvāsu mārgante seyam āsāditā mayā/ cāreṇa tu suyuktena śatroh śaktim avekṣitā, gūḍhena caratā tāvad avekṣitam idam mayā/ rākṣasānām viśeṣaś ca purī ceyam avekṣitā, rākṣasādhipater asya prabhāvo rāvaṇasya ca/ yuktam tasyāprameyasya sarvasattvadavāvatah, samāśvāsavitum bhārvām patidaršanakānksinīm/ aham āśvāsavāmv enām pūrnacandranibhānanām, adrstaduhkhām duhkhasya na hy antam adhigacchatīm/ yadi hy aham imām devīm śokopahatacetanām, anāśvāsya gamiṣyāmi doṣavad gamanam bhavet/ gate hi mayi tatreyam rājaputrī yaśasvinī, paritrānam avindantī jānakī jīvitam tyajet/ mayā ca sa mahābāhuh pūrnacandranibhānanah, samāśvāsayitum nyāyyah sītādarśanalālasah/ niśācarīnām pratyaksam aksamam cābhibhāsanam, atham nu khalu kartavyam idam krcchra gato hy aham/ anena rātriśesena yadi nāśvāsyate mayā, sarvathā nāsti samdehah parityakṣyati jīvitam/ rāmaś ca yadi pṛcchen mām kim mām sītābravīd vacaḥ, kim aham tam pratibrūyām asambhāṣya sumadhyamām/ sītāsamdeśarahitam mām itas tvarayā gatam, nirdahed api kākutsthah kruddhas tīvrena cakṣuṣā/ yadi ced yojayiṣyāmi bhartāram rāmakāraṇāt, vyartham āgamanaṁ tasya sasainyasya bhaviṣyati/ antaraṁ tv aham āsādya rākṣasīnām iha sthitah, śanair āśvāsayisyāmi samtāpabahulām imām/ aham hy atitanuś caiva vanaraś ca viśesatah, vācam codāharisyāmi mānusīm iha samskrtām/ yadi vācam pradāsyāmi dvijātir iva samskrtām, rāvanam manyamānā mām sītā bhītā bhavişyati/avaśyam eva vaktavyam mānuşam vākyam arthava, mayā sāntvayitum śakvā nānvathevam aninditā/ sevam ālokva me rūpam jānakī bhāsitam tathā, raksobhis

trāsitā pūrvam bhūyas trāsam gamisyati/ tato jātaparitrāsā śabdam kuryān manasyinī, jānamānā viśālākṣī rāvaṇam kāmarūpiṇam/ sītayā ca kṛte śabde sahasā rākṣasīgaṇaḥ, nānāpraharaṇo ghoraḥ sameyād antakopamaḥ/ tato mām samparikṣipya sarvato vikṛtānanāḥ, vadhe ca grahaṇe caiva kuryur yatnam yathābalam/ tam mām śākhāh praśākhāś ca skandhāms cottamaśākhinām, drstvā viparidhāvantam bhavevur bhavaśankitāh/ mama rūpam ca sampreksva vanam vicarato mahat, rāksasvo bhayavitrastā bhaveyur vikṛtānanāḥ/ tataḥ kuryuḥ samāhvānam rākṣasyo rakṣasām api, rākṣasendrani yuktānām rākṣasendraniveśane/te śūlaśaranistrimśa vividhāyudhapāṇayaḥ, āpateyur vimarde 'smin vegenodvignakārinah/ samkruddhas tais tu parito vidhaman rakṣasām balam, śaknuyam na tu samprāptum param pāram mahodadheļ/ mām vā grhņīyur āplutya bahavaḥ śīghrakāriṇaḥ, syād iyam cāgṛhītārthā mama ca grahaṇam bhavet/ himsābhirucayo himsyur imām vā janakātmajām, vipannam syāt tatah kāryam rāmasugrīvayor idam/ uddeśe nastamārge 'smin rāksasaih parivārite, sāgarena parikşipte gupte vasati jānakī/ viśaste vā grhīte vā rakşobhir mayi samyuge, nānyam paśyāmi rāmasya sahāyam kāryasādhane/ vimṛśamś ca na paśyāmi yo hate mayi vānaraḥ, śatayojanavistīrṇam laṅghayeta mahodadhim/ kāmam hantum samartho 'smi sahasrāny api rakṣasām, na tu śakṣyāmi samprāptum param pāram mahodadheh/ asatvāni ca vuddhāni samsavo me na rocate, kas ca nihsamsavam kārvam kurvāt prājñaḥ sasamśayam/ eṣa doṣo mahān hi syān mama sītābhibhāṣaṇe, prāṇatyāgaś ca vaidehyā bhaved anabhibhāṣaṇe/ bhūtāś cārthā vinaśyanti deśakālavirodhitāḥ, viklavam dūtam āsādya tamaḥ sūryodaye vathā/ arthānarthāntare buddhir niścitāpi na śobhate, ghātavanti hi kāryāni dūtāh panditamāninah/ na vinaśyet katham kāryam vaiklavyam na katham bhavet, langhanam ca samudrasya katham nu na vṛthā bhavet/ katham nu khalu vākyam me śrnuyān nodvijeta ca, iti samcintya hanumāmś cakāra matimān matim/ rāmam aklistakarmāṇam svabandhum anukīrtayan, nainām udvejayisyāmi tad bandhugatamānasām/ ikṣvākūṇām variṣṭhasya rāmasya viditātmanaḥ, śubhāni dharmayuktāni vacanāni samarpayan/śrāvayiṣyāmi sarvāṇi madhurām prabruvan giram, śraddhāsyati yathā hīyam tathā sarvam samādadhe/ iti sa bahuvidham mahānubhāvo; jagatipateh pramadām aveksamānah, madhuram avitatham jagāda vākyam; drumavitapāntaram āsthito hanūmān/

Maha bala Veera Hanuman had witnessed the senario of Devi Sita's distress and helplessness, the threats of Rakshasis surrounding her to eat her alive, Rakshasi Trijata's warnings and evil forebodings to 'Lanka Saamrajya'and the killing of the King and followers and the like. His thoughts flashed off in different directions. Innumerable Vaanara Veeras were despatched by King Sugriva to all the directions to search for Devi Sita's whereabouts. Happily I had succeeded. Blessed with my utmost dedication to Swaami Karya, and having assumed miniature form, I have been keenly observing the enemy's strength, the varied shades of their 'dharmaadharma pravartana', and the significance of Ravana's mental aberrations and so on. Devi Sita a peerless Pativrata has no other thoughts excepting of Shri Rama. She is literally flustered for his 'darshana'. Her face is like Purnachandra and had never missed his nearness; she never ever got unnerved as of now. I feel like to console her atonce and give extremely positive arrival of the epic hero. yadi hy aham imām devīm śokopahatacetanām, anāśvāsya gamişyāmi doşavad gamanam bhavet/ gate hi mayi tatreyam rājaputrī yaśasvinī, paritrānam avindantī jānakī jīvitam tyajet/ mayā ca sa mahābāhuḥ pūrṇacandranibhānanaḥ, samāśvāsayitum nyāyyaḥ sītādarśanalālasaḥ/ In the eventuality of my returning back without assuring her of Shri Rama's arrival soon and thus controlling her agony, it should indeed be a huge lapse on my part. In case I do so, the crue Rakshasis on one pretext or another might even resort to devouring her alive. Worse still would be that she herself resort her atma samarpana out of extreme frustration. Hence it ought to be opportune for me to convey positive indications to her. niśācarīṇām pratyakṣam akṣamam cābhibhāṣaṇam, atham nu khalu kartavyam idam kṛcchra gato hy aham/ anena rātriśeṣeṇa yadi nāśvāsyate mayā, sarvathā nāsti samdehaḥ parityakṣyati jīvitam/ rāmaś ca yadi prechen mām kim mām sītābravīd vacah, kim aham tam pratibrūyām asambhāsya sumadhyamām/ But under these circumstances however, it is certainly not advisable for me to address Devi Sita in front of the cruel Rakshasis surrounding her. Under these circumstances, it is rather irksome for me to freely

converse and convince her to be brave and feel confident. If I am not able to utilise this opportunity to night itself what all has been accomplished by me so far would be a sheer waste. On my return to Shri Rama, he should definitely enquire about Devi Sita's wherebouts and more significantly about her whatabouts and then I should not be able to reply. Then Bhagava Shri Rama could be incensed and burn me alive. May be some how my should be able to assuage her emotions. As it is body is quite miniatured and more so I am a Vanara. If I were to convey my thoughts to her in Samsktrita Vaani, then she might think that Rayana was talking to her assuming his form as a 'dwija'. Then I might have to such language as spoken in the type of language in Ayodhya and thereabouts. Then again she might suspect Ravana in my form. Then again the Rakshasis suspect Ravana's presence there and harasss me further more. Suppose that in my own form then I might get caught and the entire Ravana Sena could be alerted to pounce on me and thus the Swami Karya could remain unfulfilled. kāmam hantum samartho 'smi sahasrāṇy api rakṣasām, na tu śakṣyāmi samprāptum param pāram mahodadheh/ asatyāni ca yuddhāni samśayo me na rocate, kaś ca niḥsamśayam kāryam kuryāt prājñaḥ sasamśayam/ eṣa doṣo mahān hi syān mama sītābhibhāşane, prānatyāgaś ca vaidehyā bhaved anabhibhāşane/ No doubt I do possses the capability of devastating thousands of Rakshasa yodhas, but then getting involved with such adventurous steps, I might not be decisive of the endeavor with uncertainties nor be then capable of my crossing the ocean for certain. All the same, not being able to converse with her and pacify her with the awareness of the Rakshasis appears to be a huge question mark! bhūtāś cārthā vinaśyanti deśakālavirodhitāh, viklavam dūtam āsādya tamah sūryodaye yathā/ This is the most unfortunate predicament as a dull and foolhardy messenger of Shri Rama's standing is finding lost in a critical situation disabled to adjust as per the 'desha kaala paristhitis', like a critical night enveloped with thick darkness awaits the Ushakaala Surya! No foolish messener of a standing of Shri Rama, without the awareness of 'kartavyakartavya' or dutifulness or otherwise is worthy of being trustworthy who would feel that he is a quite intelligent, might invariably spoil the mission entrusted. katham nu khalu vākyam me śrnuyān nodvijeta ca, iti samcintya hanumām's cakāra matimān matim/ rāmam aklistakarmānam svabandhum anukīrtayan, nainām udvejayisyāmi tad bandhugatamānasām/Therefore, I feel that the task entrusted to me should not be performed, the very purpose of my crossing the Maha Sagara be not spoilt, yet Devi Sita be conveyed my message, never be careless out of fear or confusion. I should therefore decide to start singing the 'guna ganas' of Ikshvaaku Vamsha, Shri Rama's outstanding qualities without provoking those Rakshasis, yet making sure that Devi Sita would certainly lend her ears too. I should seek to sweet singing like a lullaby to others, yet might convince Devi Sita too as of statemens of genuineness.' This was how after prolonged introspection, Veera Hanuman decided to hide himself in a miniature swarupa well settled and seated on a broad and sturdy branch of the Ashoka Vriksha, while witnessing the disturbed yet sweet face of Devi Sita whose was lost in agitation and deep introspection of Maha Veera Shri Rama and of the sweet memories of of his unending care and deep affection showered on her as a peerless pativrata.

Sargas Thirty One and Thirty Two

Veera Hanuman sings Shri Rama Katha exclusively for Devi Sita but she wonders its genuinness!

Evam bahuvidhām cintām cintayitva mahākapiḥ, samśrave madhuram vākyam vaidehyā vyājahāra ha/jātaḥ puramdarasamo bale/ ahimsāratir akṣudro ghṛṇī satyaparākramaḥ, mukhyaś cekṣvākuvamśasya lakṣmīvāml lakṣmivardhanaḥ/ pārthivavyañjanair yuktaḥ pṛthuśrīḥ pārthivarṣabhaḥ, pṛthivyām caturantayām viśrutaḥ sukhadaḥ sukhī/ tasya putraḥ priyo jyeṣṭhas tārādhipanibhānanaḥ, rāmo nāma viśeṣajñaḥ śreṣṭhaḥ sarvadhanuṣmatām/ rakṣitā svasya vṛttasya svajanasyāpi rakṣitā, rakṣitā jīvalokasya

dharmasya ca paramtapaḥ/ tasya satyābhisamdhasya vṛddhasya vacanāt pituḥ, sabhāryaḥ saha ca bhrātrā vīraḥ pravrajito vanam/ tena tatra mahāraṇye mṛgayām paridhāvatā, janasthānavadham śrutvā hatau ca kharadūṣaṇau, tatas tv amarṣāpahṛtā jānakī rāvaṇena tu/ yathārūpām yathāvarṇām yathālakṣmīm viniścitām, aśrauṣam rāghavasyāham seyam āsāditā mayā/ virarāmaivam uktvāsau vācam vānarapumgavaḥ, jānakī cāpi tac chrutvā vismayam paramam gatā/ tataḥ sā vakrakeśāntā sukeśī keśasamvṛtam, unnamya vadanam bhīruḥ śimśapāvṛkṣam aikṣata/ sā tiryag ūrdhvam ca tathāpy adhastān; nirīkṣamāṇā tam acintya buddhim, dadarśa pingādhipater amātyam; vātātmajam sūryam ivodayastham/

Having thought over of the pros and cons of approaching Devi Sita for long time, Veera Hanuman in his miniature form sitting on a branch of the Ashoka tree started singing in his low and sweet tone as follows: Onec there was a famed King Dasharatha of our standing virtue and world wide fame in the Ikshvaku dynasty. He was a Rajarshi commended by Maharshis and the Praja alike. Being bestowed with the qualities of in ideal king, a dharma swarupa, and of the bravery, he was blessed with his eldest son popular as Shri Ramawho was a symbol of kindness, bravery, dhunur vidya, and pitruvaalka parapaalata. rakṣitā svasya vṛttasya svajanasyāpi rakṣitā, rakṣitā jīvalokasya dharmasya ca paramtapaḥ/ tasya satyābhisamdhasya vrddhasya vacanāt pituḥ, sabhāryaḥ saha ca bhrātrā vīraḥ pravrajito vanam/ tena tatra mahāranye mrgayām paridhāvatā, janasthānavadham śrutvā hatau ca kharadūsanau/ tatas tv amarsāpahrtā jānakī rāvanena tu/ yathārūpām yathāvarnām yathālaksmīm viniścitām, aśrausam rāghavasyāham seyam āsāditā mayā/That parakrami Shri Rama, the know dharma rakshaka declared to the worlds his satya pratigina to undergo vanavasa, and his wife a parama pativrata and his most loyal younger brother Lakshmana too accompanied him. During their stay he and the brother several rakshasa. In the course of their staty at the 'jana sthaana', Mahasura Rayayana had forcibly abducted Devi Sita while while she was left all alone by arranging rakshasa Mareecha to assume a maya mriga form forcing Rama to chase and Lalshmana followed suit. Seaching for Devi Sita Rama Lakshmanas approached kiushkindha, met and made friends with the fugitive King of Vanaras, named Sugriva, killed the then vanara king Vaali. Subsequently, the new Vanara King arranged for Devi very many Vanara soldiers for Devi Sitanveshana and one of the able one of them jumped in, crossed the oceanand reached where Devi Sita is being surrounded by cruelmost rakshasis. As the maha inaani Hanuman had deftly conveyed the required message to Devi Sita, the latter was thrilled with indescribable relief and relief.and looked up the tree.and saw a vanara, apparently in a mini form. Meanwhile, buddhimaan Hanuman sat there looking up and down.

Taḥ śākhāntare līnam dṛṣṭvā calitamānasā, sā dadarśa kapim tatra praśritam priyavādinam/ sā tu dṛṣṭvā hariśreṣṭham vinītavad upasthitam, maithilī cintayām āsa svapno 'yam iti bhāminī/ sā tam samīkṣyaiva bhṛśam visamjñā; gatāsukalpeva babhūva sītā, cireṇa samjñām pratilabhya caiva; vicintayām āsa 'Ramabhavena; sampīḍitā tad gatasarvabhāvā, vicintayantī satatam tam eva; tathaiva paśyāmi tathā am unable torūpam; saktarūpaś ca vadaty ayam mām/ namo 'stu vācaspataye savajriṇe; svayambhuve caiva hutāśanāya, anena coktam yad idam mamāgrato; vanaukasā tac ca tathāstu nānyathā/

As Devi Sita found a hazy form of a Vanara of 'pingala shareera' adorned in white clothing looking like a lightning, she stood up instantly. She was puzzled to clearly see a vanara with unbelievable eyes but not daring to see him srtraight. Being frightened partly with disbelief and partly witthe hope and being unbearable suspense and suspicion, fell downin swoon. On gradual recovery, she cried: 'hey Rama , he Lakshmana' and broke down in intolerable eeping. Swapno mamaayam vikritodya drishtah, shakhaa mrigah shaakhaganairnishiddhah,svasyastu raamaaya salakasmanasya tathh piturmr janakasya raagjnah/ Swapye hi naahimemita nidra shokena dhukhena cha peeditayaa/ sukham hi naasti yato vuiheenaa tenendupurnaapratimaanbanena/Thereafter, she felt again whether she saw either a dream or a hallucination. It is well known that seeeing a monkey in dreams is inauspicious. Yet, due to.ext restlessness, one is unable to sleep properly keeping on crying Rama, ah Rama, I am getting drowned in distress; am not able to concentrate, much less to take to 'tarka- vitarka' or the pros and cons of this situation, being totally have lost mental awareness as nothing becomes clear excepting this Vaanara swarupa.; or else, I can only remember Vajradhari Indra, Srishtikarta Brahma, Adishthaana rupa Agni Deva!!

Sarga Thirty Three

Then Hanuman appears before Devi Sita in his own form and conveys about Shri Rama's welfare, his arrival here, and assures Rama's arrival soon.

Tām abravīn mahātejā hanūmān mārutātmajaḥasy añjalim ādhāya sītām madhurayā girā kā nu padmapalāśākṣī kliṣṭakauśeyavāsinī, drumasya śākhām ālambya tiṣṭhasi tvam aninditā/ kimartham tava netrābhyām vāri sravati śokajam, pundarīkapalāśābhyām viprakīrnam ivodakam/ surānām asurānām ca nāgagandharvaraksasām, vaksānām kimnarānām ca kā tvam bhavasi śobhane/ kātvam bhavasi rudrānām marutām vā varānane, vasūnām vā varārohe devatā pratibhāsi me/ kim nu candramasā hīnā patitā vibudhālayāt, rohiņī jyotiṣām śreṣṭhā śreṣṭhā sarvaguṇānvitā/ kopād vā yadi vā mohād bhartāram asiteksanā, vasistham kopavitvā tvam nāsi kalvānv arundhatī/ ko nau putrah pitā bhrāta bhartā vā te sumadhyame, asmāl lokād amum lokam gatam tvam anuśocasi/ vyañjanāni hi te yāni lakşanāni ca lakşaye, mahişī bhūmipālasya rājakanyāsi me matā/ rāvaņena janasthānād balād apahṛtā yadic sītā tvam asi bhadram te tan mamācakṣva pṛcchataḥ/sā tasya vacanam śrutvā rāmakīrtanaharṣitā, . uvāca vākyam vaidehī hanūmantam drumāśritam/ duhitā janakasyāham vaidehasya mahātmanaḥ, sītā ca nāma nāmnāham bhāryā rāmasya dhīmatah/ samā dvādaśa tatrāham rāghavasya niveśane,uñjānā mānusān bhogān sarvakāmasamṛddhinī/ tatas trayodaśe varse rājyeneksvākunandanam, abhisecayitum rājā sopādhyāyah pracakrame/ tasmin sambhriyamāne tu rāghavasyābhisecane, kaikeyī nāma bhartāram devī vacanam abravīt/ na pibeyam na khādeyam pratyaham mama bhojana, esa me jīvitasyānto rāmo yady abhişicyate/ yat tad uktam tvayā vākyam prītyā nṛpatisattama, tac cen na vitatham kāryam vanam gacchatu rāghavaḥ/ sa rājā satyavāg devyā varadānam anusmaran, mumoha vacanam śrutvā kaikeyyāḥ krūram apriyam/ tatas tu sthaviro rājā satyadharme vyavasthitaḥ, jyeṣṭham yaśasvinam putram rudan rājyam ayācata/ pitur vacanam śrīmān abhiṣekāt param priyam, manasā pūrvam āsādya vācā pratigṛhītavān/ dadyān na pratigṛhnīyān na brūyat kim cid apriyam, api jīvitahetor hi rāmah satyaparākramaḥ/ sa vihāyottarīyāṇi mahārhāṇi mahāyaśāḥ,,visrjya manasā rājyam jananyai mām/ sāham tasyāgratas tūrņam prasthitā vanacāriņī, na hi me tena hīnāyā vāsah svarge 'pi rocate / prāg eva tu mahābhāgaḥ saumitrir mitranandanaḥ, pūrvajasyānuyātrārthe drumacīrair alamkṛtaḥ/ te vayam bhartur ādeśam bahu mānyadṛḍhavratāḥ, praviṣṭāḥ sma purād dṛṣṭam vanam gambhīradarśanam/ vasato daṇḍakāraṇye tasyāham amitaujasaḥ,akṣasāpahṛtā bhāryā rāvaṇena durātmanā/ dvau māsau tena me kālo jīvitānugrahaḥ kṛtaḥ, ūrdhvam dvābhyām tu māsābhyām tatas tyakṣyāmi jīvitam/ .Veera Hanuman having got down from the top branch of the Ashoka Vriksha extending his folded hands to Devi Sita with extreme politeness stated in his soft tone: Open lotus like faced Devi!Who are you!Are youa devata, or gandharva, yaksha, naaga, kinnara. Are you Devi Arundhati angry with her husband

Maharshi Vasishtha! Who indeed is your husband, father, relatives! Why are you crying away! Hope not Shri Rama's dharma patni Devi Sita, forcibly abduted by Ravanaasura. Then Devi Sita was extremely pleased and stood up despite being weak by holding the Ashoka tree trunk. She stated: Kapi shreshtha! I am indeed the daughter in law of the famed King Dashratha, the dharma patni of the glorious Maha Veera and dharmagina Shri Rama. Then she narrated her life's erstwhile experiences, as to how she enjoyed her marital bliss with her dear husband for twelve years, how King Dasharatha in consultation with the Raja guru Maharshi Vasishtha decided Shri Ram's yuva raajya pattaabhisheka, how on the night before, Devi Kaikeyi the third and youngest wife of King Dasharatha reminded of the King's erstwhile promise to her to make her own son Bharata the yuva Raja, and how she demanded Shri Rama to proceed to forest life. King Dasharatha was a satyavaadi, and had no other way but to yield and thus became unconscious having reluctantly consented. dadyān na pratigrhnīyān na brūyat kim cid apriyam, api jīvitahetor hi rāmah satyaparākramah/ sa vihāyottarīyāni mahārhāni mahāyaśāh,,visṛjya manasā rājyam jananyai mām/ sāham tasyāgratas tūrnam prasthitā vanacārinī, na hi me tena hīnāyā vāsah svarge 'pi rocate /Satyaparakrami Shri Rama was a mere giver but never a taker. Even at the sacrifice of his life, he would never lie, nor slip out his decisiveness of pitru vaakya pari paalana. Then he discarded his valuable clothing and wore mriga charma's attire. Then, I too accompanied as there could be no other heaven for me excepting Rama's company. prāg eva tu mahābhāgaḥ saumitrir mitranandanaḥ, pūrvajasyānuyā trārthe drumacīrair alamkṛtah/ te vayam bhartur ādeśam bahu mānyadṛdhavratāh, pravistāh sma purād dṛṣtam vanam gambhīradarśanam/Lakshmana followed Shri Rama and wore mriga charma too.vasato daṇḍakāraṇye tasyāham amitaujasaḥ,akṣasāpahṛtā bhāryā rāvaṇena durātmanā/ dvau māsau tena me kālo jīvitānugrahaḥ kṛtaḥ, ūrdhvam dvābhyām tu māsābhyām tatas tyakṣyāmi jīvitam/As we were in 'dandakaranya, a situation was created as maarecha, an associate rakshasa appeared as a maya mriga and Ravanaasura abduted me forcefully. As maha rakshasis encircled me for two months now under daily threats of reating me alive, I lost interest in my life and am about terminating my life. nāham asmi tathā devi yathā mām avagacchasi, viśankā tyajyatām esā śraddhatsva vadato mama/ Devi! I am not what you had been thinking and wondering of me. Believe me I am genuine and truly the Shri Rama's truthful devotee.

Sarga Thirty Four

Devi Sita still unconvinced fully about the guineness of Hanuman, the latter describes Rama's physical features and mental acumen and bravery, pleading his own genuineness.

Tasyās tadvacanam śrutvā hanūmān hariyūthapah,duḥkhād duhkhābhibhūtāyāh sāntam uttaram abravīt/ aham rāmasya samdeśād devi dūtas tavāgatah, vaidehi kuśalī rāmas tvām ca kauśalam abravīt// yo brāhmam astram vedāms ca veda vedavidām varah, sa tvām dāsarathī rāmo devi kausalam abravī/laksmanaś ca mahātejā bhartus te 'nucarah privah, krtavāñ śokasamtaptah śirasā te 'bhivādanam/sā tayoh kuśalam devī niśamya narasimhayoh, parītisamhrstasaryāngī hanūmāntam athābravīt/ kalyāṇī bata gatheyam laukikī pratibhāti me, ehi jīvantam ānado naram varṣaśatād api/ tayoḥ samāgame tasmin prītir utpāditādbhutā, parasparena cālāpam viśvastau tau pracakratuh/,tasyās tadvacanam śrutvā hanūmān hariyūthapah, sītāyāh śokadīnāyāh samīpam upacakrame/ yathā yathā samīpam sa hanūmān upasarpati, tathā tathā rāvaṇam sā tam sītā pariśankate/ aho dhig dhik kṛtam idam kathitam hi yad asya me, rūpāntaram upāgamya sa evāyam hi rāvaṇaḥ/ tām aśokasya śākhām sā vimuktvā śokakarśitā, tasyām evānavadyāngī dharanyām samupāviśat/ avandata mahābāhus tatas tām janakātmajām, sā cainam bhayavitrastā bhūyo naivābhyudaikṣata/ tam dṛṣṭvā vandamānam tu sītā śaśinibhānan, abravīd dīrgham ucchvasya vānaram madhurasvarā/ māyām praviṣṭo māyāvī yadi tvam rāvanah svayam, utpādayasi me bhūyah samtāpam tan na sobhanam/ svam parityajya rūpam yah parivrājakarūpadhṛt, janasthāne mayā dṛstas tvam sa evāsi rāvanah/ upavāsakṛśām dīnām kāmarūpa niśācara, samtāpayasi mām bhūyaḥ samtāpam tan na śobhanam/ adi rāmasya dūtas tvam āgato bhadram astu te, prcchāmi tvām hariśrestha priyā rāma kathā hi me/ gunān rāmasya kathaya priyasya mama

vānara, cittam harasi me saumya nadīkūlam yathā rayah/ aho svapnasya sukhatā yāham evam cirāhrtā, preşitam nāma paśyāmi rāghaveņa vanaukasam/ svapne 'pi yady aham vīram rāghavam sahalakṣmaṇam, paśyeyam nāvasīdeyam svapno 'pi mama matsarī/ nāham svapnam imam manye svapne dṛṣṭvā hi vānaram,na śakyo 'bhyudayah prāptum prāptaś cābhyudayo mama/ kim nu syāc cittamoho 'yam bhaved vātagatis tv ivam, unmādajo vikāro vā svād ivam mrgatrsnikā/ atha vā nāvam unmādo moho 'pv unmādalaksmanah, sambudhye cāham ātmānam imam cāpi vanaukasam/Ity evam bahudhā sītā sampradhārya balābalam, rakṣasām kāmarūpatvān mene tam rākṣasādhipam/ etām buddhim tadā krtvā sītā sā tanumadhyamā, na prativyājahārātha vānaram janakātmajā/ sītāvāś cintitam buddhvā hanūmān mārutātmajah, śrotrānukūlair vacanais tadā tām sampraharsayat/Aditya iva tejasvi loka kaantah shasee yathaa,Raja sravasya lokasya devo vaishravano yathaa/ Vikramenopapannascha yathaa vishnurmahaayashaah, sathavaadee madhura vaag devo vaachasparur yathaa/ Rupavan subhagah Shrimaan kandarpa eva murtiman, sthaana krothe prahartaa cha shreshtho loke mahaarathaah/ achiraad ranvanam samravey yo vadhishpati veeryavaan, krodha pramuktairishubhirjaladbhiriva paaakaih/ Ramasya sakhaa Sugreevo naama vaanarah, Raja vaanara mukhyaanaam sa twaam koushalamabrayeet, nitham smarati te Ramah susugrreeyah salakshanah/drishtyaa jeeyasi yaidehi raakshaseematamaagataa, nachiraad drakshse Ramam Lakshmanam cha maraarathim/aham sugrīvasacivo hanūmān nāma vānaraḥ, pravisto nagarīm lankām langhayitvā mahodadhim/ krtvā mūrdhni padanyāsam rāvanasya durātmanah, tvām drastum upayāto 'ham samāśritya parākramam/ nāham asmi tathā devi yathā mām avagacchasi, viśankā tyajyatām esā śraddhatsva vadato mama/

On hearing what all has been stated by Devi Sita, Hanuman sought to give solace and stated 'Devi! I am the messenger of Shri Rama; he is safe and sought to know about your welfare. Devi! Shri Rama is not only an expert of Brahmastra but of veda vetta. My self along with Lakshmana, we seek to prostrate to you in reverence. Hanuman stated thus, she was mighty thrilled with happiness. kalyānī bata gatheyam laukikī pratibhāti me, ehi jīvantam ānado naram varşaśatād api/If only a human being were alive, that conversing with Hanuman freely and franklly. Yet, there as a streak of remote fear whether Ravana had not entered as Hanuman! She then addressed Ravana: If you have appeared here as a Hanuman, tell me whether you are really not Ravana whom I met at the 'janasthanan'! If not, then I feel contented. But, do make a detailed description of Shri Rama. aho svapnasya sukhatā yāham evam cirāhrtā, presitam nāma paśyāmi rāghaveṇa vanaukasam/ svapne 'pi yady aham vīram rāghavam sahalakṣmaṇam, paśyeyam nāvasīdeyam svapno 'pi mama matsarī/ nāham svapnam imam manye svapne dṛṣṭvā hi vānaram,na śakyo 'bhyudayah prāptum prāptaś cābhyudayo mama/Aho! If only this were not to be a dream, how wonderful this situation coud be!Am I really seeing Shri Rama's messenger! If only Rama along with Lakshmana were seen even in dream, how thrilling that could be! I am concerned again and again that appearance of a vanara is inauspiscios, but am a proving to the contrary!kim nu svāc cittamoho 'yam bhaved vātagatis tv iyam, unmādajo vikāro vā syād iyam mṛgatṛṣṇikā/ atha vā nāyam unmādo moho 'py unmādalaksmanah, sambudhye cāham ātmānam imam cāpi vanaukasam/Is this my wishful thinking or am I seized of a hallucination. Otherwise, could this be simply a mental aberration owing to long standing sufferance. Ity evam bahudhā sītā sampradhārya balābalam, rakṣasām kāmarūpatvān mene tam rākṣasādhipam/ etām buddhim tadā krtvā sītā sā tanumadhyamā, na prativyājahārātha vānaram janakātmajā/Thus, Devi Sita's mental horizon was comptetely confused and was not still clear but refrained from asking Hanuman once again. Then Veera Hanuman explained what Shri Rama was all about. Aditya iva tejasvi loka kaantah shasee yathaa,Raja sravasya lokasya devo vaishravano yathaa/ Vikramenopapannascha yathaa vishnurmahaayashaah, sathavaadee madhura vaag devo vaachasparur yathaa/ Rupavan subhagah Shrimaan kandarpa eva murtiman, sthaana krothe prahartaa cha shreshtho loke mahaarathaah/ Bhagavan Shri Rama is resplendent like Surya Deva, cool and tranquil like Chandra Deva, and of prosperity of Kubera's fame. Rama is comparable to 'Maha Yashasvi Vishnu Samaa' and

'sathavaadi and madhura vaani samana' like Brishpati Deva. As per Rama's physical form, Shri Rama was comparable to 'Kama deva'; yet once kindled with anger, he would be a Maha Rathi with no comparison in the worlds. Then Anjaneya reitertated that indeed he was the truthful and real messenger of Sri Rama, indeed. He is really suffering Devi Sita's vivoga and is truly and most concerned of your where abouts and what abouts. Achiraad Ravanam samvyey yo vadhishyanti veerayavaan, krodha pramuttairapirishur -bhirjaladdbhirivapaavakaih/Maha Parakrami Shri Rama should therefore soon arrive here and armed with fiery arrows and in a combat with Ravana should destroy him and his clan. Sumitra Kumara too forwards his prostrations to you. Ramasya sakhaa Sugreevo naama vaanarah, Raja vaanara mukhyaanaam sa twaam koushalamabraveet, nitham smarati te Ramah susugrreevah salakshanah/ drishtvaa jeevasi vaidehi raakshaseematamaagataa, nachiraad drakshse Ramam Lakshmanam cha maraarathim/aham sugrīvasacivo hanūmān nāma vānarah, pravisto nagarīm lankām langhayitvā mahodadhim/ Devi !Shri Raghunadha has now a great friend and associate named King of Vanaras named Sugriva and he too sends his greetings to you enquiring of your welfare; along with Rama Lakshmanas, Sorive too is anxious of your welfare. I happen to be the Minster to Sugriva; soon enough you should soon enough see crores of Vaararas fighting for Shri Rama to uproot Rakshasas nd Ravanarura along with his entire clan. I had arrived here having crossed the Maha Sumudra and seen the entire proceedings of Ravana and his ill begotten wealth and fame.

Sarga Thirty Five

Devi Sita finally concedes Hanuman's genuineness-he describes Rama's 'guna ganaas', how Rama missed her, Sugriva's help repaying Rama's help by killing Vaali- Sampati's guidance to reach her.

Tām tu rāma kathām śrutvā vaidehī vānararşabhāt, uvāca vacanam sāntvam idam madhurayā girā/ kva te rāmeņa samsargah katham jānāsi lakṣmaṇam, vānarāṇām narāṇām ca katham āsīt samāgamah/ yāni rāmasya lingāni lakṣmaṇasya ca vānara, tāni bhūyaḥ samācakṣva na mām śokaḥ samāviśet/ kīdṛśam tasya samsthānam rūpam rāmasya kīdṛśam, katham ūrū katham bāhū lakṣmaṇasya ca śamsa me/ evam uktas tu vaidehyā hanūmān mārutātmajah, tato rāmam yathātattvam ākhyātum upacakrame/ jānantī bata distyā mām vaidehi pariprechasi, bhartuh kamalapatrāksi samkhyānam laksmanasya ca/ yāni rāmasya cihnāni lakṣmaṇasya ca yāni vai, lakṣitāni viśālākṣi vadataḥ śṛṇu tāni me/ rāmaḥ kamalapatrākṣaḥ sarvabhūtamanoharah, rūpadākṣiṇyasampannah prasūto janakātmaje/ tejasādityasamkāśah kṣamayā pṛthivīsamaḥ, bṛhaspatisamo buddhyā yaśasā vāsavopamaḥ/ rakṣitā jīvalokasya svajanasya ca rakṣitā, raksitā svasva vrttasva dharmasva ca paramtapah/ Ramo bhāmini lokasva cāturvarnvasva raksitā, maryādānām ca lokasya kartā kārayitā ca sah/arcismān arcito 'tyartham brahmacaryayrate sthitah, sādhūnām upakārajñah pracārajñaś ca karmanām/ rājavidyāvinītaś ca brāhmanānām upāsitā, śrutavāñ śīlasampanno vinītaś ca paramtapah/ yajurvedavinītaś ca vedavidbhih supūjitah,dhanurvede ca vede ca vedāngeşu ca nişthitah/ vipulāmso mahābāhuḥ kambugrīvah śubhānanah, gūdhajatruḥ sutāmrākşo rāmo devi janaih śrutah/ dundubhisvananirghoṣaḥ snigdhavarṇaḥ pratāpavān, samaḥ samavibhaktāṅgo varnam śvāmam samāśritah/tristhiras tripralambaś ca trisamas trisu connatah, trivalīvāms trvavanataś caturvyangas triśīrṣavān/ catuṣkalaś caturlekhaś catuṣkiṣkuś catuḥsamaḥ, caturdaśasamadvandvaś caturdaştas caturgatih/ mahauşthahanunāsas ca pañcasnigdho 'stavamsavān, dasapadmo dasabrhat tribhir vyāpto dviśuklavān, sadunnato navatanus tribhir vyāpnoti rāghavah/ satyadharmaparah śrīmān samgrahānugrahe ratah, deśakālavibhāgajñah sarvalokapriyamvadah/ bhrātā ca tasya dvaimātrah saumitrir aparājitah, anurāgena rūpena gunaiś caiva tathāvidhah/ tvām eva mārgamāno tau vicarantau vasumdharām, dadarśatur mrgapatim pūrvajenāvaropitam/ rśvamūkasva prsthe tu bahupādapasamkule, bhrātur bhāryārtam āsīnam sugrīvam priyadarśanam/vayam tu harirājam tam sugrīvam satyasamgaram, paricaryāmahe rājyāt pūryajenāvaropitam /tatas tau cīrayasanau dhanuhprayarapāninau, rśyamūkasya

śailasya ramyam deśam upāgatau/ tau drstvā naravyāghrau dhanvinau vānararsabhah, abhipluto gires tasya śikharam bhayamohitah/ tatah sa śikhare tasmin yānarendro vyayasthitah, tayoh samīpam mām eva preṣayām āsa satvaraḥ/ tāv aham puruṣavyāghrau sugrīvavacanāt prabhū, rūpalakṣanasampannau kṛtāñjalir upasthitaḥ/ tau parijñātatattvārthau mayā prītisamanvitau, pṛṣṭham āropya tam deśam prāpitau purusarsabhau/ niveditau ca tattvena sugrīvāva mahātmane, tavor anyonyasambhāsād bhrsam prītir ajāyata/ tatra tau kīrtisampannau harīśvaranareśvarau, parasparakṛtāśvāsau kathayā pūrvavrttayā/ tam tatah sāntvayām āsa sugrīvam lakṣmaṇāgrajaḥ, strīhetor vālinā bhrātrā nirastam uru tejasā/tatas tvan nāśajam śokam rāmasyāklistakarmanah, laksmano vānarendrāva sugrīvāya nyavedayat/ sa śrutvā vānarendras tu laksmaneneritam vacah, tadāsīn nisprabho 'tyartham grahagrasta ivāmśumān/ tatas tvadgātraśobhīni raksasā hriyamānayā, yāny ābharanajālāni pātitāni mahītale/ tāni sarvāni rāmāya ānīya hariyūthapāh, samhrstā darśayām āsur gatim tu na vidus tava/ tāni rāmāya dattāni,mayaivopah rtāni ca, svanavanty avakīrnanti tasmin vihatacetasi/ tāny aṅke darśanīyāni kṛtvā bahuvidhaṁ tatah, tena devaprakāśena devena paridevitam/ paśyatas tasyā rudatas tāmyataś ca punaḥ punaḥ, prādīpayan dāśarathes tāni śokahutāśanam/ śayitam ca ciram tena duhkhārtena mahātmanā, mayāpi vividhair vākvaih krechrād utthāpitah punah/ tāni drstvā mahārhāni darsayitvā muhur muhuh, rāghavah sahasaumitrih sugrīve sa nyavedayat/ sa tavādarśanād ārye rāghavah paritapyate, mahatā įvalatā nityam agninevāgniparvatah/

tvatkṛte tam anidrā ca śokaś cintā ca rāghavam, tāpayanti mahātmānam agnyagāram ivāgnayah/ tavādarśanaśokena rāghavah pravicālyate, mahatā bhūmikampena mahān iva śiloccayah/kānānāni suramyāṇi nadīprasravaṇāni ca, caran na ratim āpnoti tvam apaśyan nṛpātmaje/ sa tvām manujaśārdūlaḥ kṣipram prāpsyati rāghavah, samitrabāndhavam hatvā rāvaṇam janakātmaje/ sahitau rāmasugrīvāv ubhāv akurutām tadā, samayam vālinam hantum tava cānveṣaṇam,tathā/ tato nihatya tarasā rāmo vālinam āhave, sarvarksaharisamghānām sugrīvam akarot patim/ rāmasugrīvayor aikyam devv evam samajāvata, hanūmantam ca mām viddhi tayor dūtam ihāgatam/ svarājyam prāpya sugrīvaļ samanīya mahāharīn, tvadartham presayām āsa diśo daśa mahābalān/ ādistā vānarendrena sugrīvena mahaujasah, adrirājapratīkāśāh sarvatah prasthitaa maheem/ angado nāma laksmīvān vālisūnur mahābalaḥ, prasthitaḥ kapiśārdūlas tribhāgabalasamvrtaḥ teṣām no vipranaṣṭānām vindhye parvatasattame, bhrśam śokaparītanām ahorātraganā gatāh/ te vavam kārvanairāśvāt kālasvātikramena ca, bhayāc ca kapirājasya prānāms tyaktum vyayasthitāh, vicitya yanadurgāni giriprasrayanāni ca, anāsādya padam devyāḥ prāṇāms tyaktum vyavasthitāḥ/ bhṛśam śokārṇave magnaḥ paryadevayad aṅgadah, tava nāśaṁ ca vaidehi vālinaś ca tathā vadham, prāyopaveśam asmākaṁ maranaṁ ca jatāyusah/ tesām nah svāmisamdeśān nirāśānām mumūrsatām, kāryahetor ivāyātah śakunir vīryavān mahān/ grdhrarājasya sodaryah saṃpātir nāma grdhrarāt, śrutvā bhrātrvadham kopād idam vacanam abravīt/ yavīyān kena me bhrātā hatah kva ca vināśitah, etad ākhyātum icchāmi bhavadbhir vānarottamāh/ angado 'kathayat tasya janasthāne mahad vadham, rakṣasā bhīmarūpeṇa tvām uddiśya yathātatham/ jatāyos tu vadham śrutvā duḥkhitah so 'ruṇātmajaḥ, tvām āha sa varārohe vasantīm rāvaṇālaye/ tasya tadvacanam śrutvā sampāteh prītivardhanam, angadapramukhāh sarve tatah samprasthitā vayam, tvaddarśanakrtotsāhā hrstās tustāh playamgamāh/ athāham harisainyasya sāgaram dṛśya sīdataḥ, vyavadhūya bhayam tīvram yojanānām śatam plutaḥ/ lankā cāpi mayā rātrau praviṣṭā rākṣasākulā, rāvaṇaś ca mayā dṛṣṭas tvaṁ ca śokanipīḍitā/ etat te sarvam ākhyātaṁ yathāvṛttam anindite, abhibhāsasva mām devi dūto dāśarather aham/ tvam mām rāmakṛtodyogam tvannimittam ihāgatam, kuśalī tava kākutsthaḥ sarvaśastrabhrtām varaḥ, guror ārādhane yukto/ sugrīva sacivam devi budhyasva pavanātmajam, laksmanaś ca sulaksanah/ tasya vīryavato devi bhartus tava hite ratah, aham ekas tu samprāptah sugrīvavacanād iha/ mayeyam asahāyena caratā kāmarūpinā, dakṣiṇā dig anukrāntā tvanmārgavicayaişiņā/ diṣṭyāham harisainyānām tvannāśam anuśocatām, apaneṣyāmi samtāpam tavābhigamaśamsanāt/ distyā hi na mama vyartham devi sāgaralanghanam, prāpsyāmy aham idam distyā tvaddarśanakrtam yaśaḥ/ rāghavaś ca mahāvīryaḥ kṣipram tvām abhipatsyate, samitrabāndha vam hatvā rāvanam rāksasādhipam/kaurajo nāma vaidehi girīnām uttamo girih, tato gacchati gokarnam parvatam kesarī harih/ sa ca devarsibhir dṛstah pitā mama mahākapih, tīrthe nadīpateh punye śambasādanam uddharat/ tasyāham hariṇaḥ kṣetre jāto vātena Maithili, hanūmān iti vikhyāto loke svenaiva karmanā, viśvāsārtham tu vaidehi bhartur uktā mayā gunāh/ evam viśvāsitā sītā hetubhih

śokakarśitā, upapannair abhijñānair dūtam tam avagacchati/ atulam ca gatā harṣam praharṣeṇa tu jānakī, netrābhyām vakrapakṣmābhyām mumocānandajam jalam/ cāru tac cānanam tasyās tāmraśuklāyatekṣaṇam, aśobhata viśālākṣyā rāhumukta ivoḍurāṭ/ hanūmantam kapim vyaktam manyate nānyatheti sā/ athovāca hanūmāms tām uttaram priyadarśanām/hate 'sure samyati śambasādane; kapipravīreṇa maharṣicodanāt, tato 'smi vāyuprabhavo hi maithili; prabhāvatas tatpratimaś ca vānarh/

Totally convinced by now of Anjaneya's geniuneness by the way he explained lucidly as to what all seemed to have happened pursuant her abduction by the crura Ravana, Devi Sita addressed Hanuman as follows: Kapi Veera! Where did you meet Shri Rama! What is the mutual treatment of Shri Rama to you. How well do you know Veera Lakshmana? How come you vaanaras and Rama Lakshmanas met together! Vanara! What are the physical features of Rama Lakshmanas! Explain to me more accurately without getting emotional. Provide me detains of their shoulders, physical cut and overall impression. Then Hanuman started describing: jānantī bata distyā mām vaidehi paripṛcchasi, bhartuh kamalapatrākşi samkhyānam lakşmanasya ca/yāni rāmasya cihnāni lakşmanasya ca yāni vai, lakşitāni viśālāksi vadatah śrnu tāni me/ rāmah kamalapatrāksah sarvabhūtamanoharah, rūpadāksinyasampannah prasūto janakātmaje/ Videha Raja Kumari with lotus eyes. Even being fully aware of the physical features of Shri Rama Lakshmanas very well, you are asking me once again. Instead of being still suspicious of me or of whatever reason, I feel delighted repeating again. Vishalalochani! What all I described is being repeated again. Shri Ramachandra's are broad and soothing like of freshly blossomed eyes, displaying his mental reflection with the glitter and coolness of full moon. tejasādityasamkāśah kṣamayā pṛthivīsamaḥ, bṛhaspatisamo buddhyā yaśasā vāsavopamaḥ/ rakṣitā jīvalokasya svajanasya ca rakṣitā, rakṣitā svasya vṛttasya dharmasya ca paramtapah/ Ramo bhāmini lokasya cāturvarnyasya raksitā, maryādānām ca lokasya kartā kārayitā ca sah/ Janaka Nandini! Shri Rama is of the resplendence of Pratyaksha Bhaskara, he is of the inherent grit and tolerance of Bhudevi, in terms of inteligence he is like Deva Guru Brihsapati, and of far reaching fame and reputation if Devendra himself. He is the saviour par excellence of all the Beings especially his own 'praja' and followers. Yet the nonsparer of the enemies, while the pardoner of the mistakes of the followers. He is the well known champion of chatur varnas of Brahmana-Kshattiya- Vaishya-Lower classes of the society, being famed as the last refuge of 'dharma and nyaya', besides being the signage of a 'maryada purusha'. arcişmān arcito 'tyartham brahmacaryavrate sthitaḥ, sādhūnām upakārajñaḥ pracārajñaś ca karmaṇām/ rājavidyāvinītaś ca brāhmanānām upāsitā, śrutavāñ śīlasampanno vinītaś ca paramtapah/ Shri Rama is admired, adored and worshipped by one all of his 'praja' in the society; his form is unique with radiance; a strict observer of 'brahmacharya' being the prerequisite of his forest life as prescribed; the eveready benefactor of sadhu purushas, and the guide of 'satkarmaachaara'. He is surfiet with the knowledge and practice of 'Raja neeti' or the art of diplomacy. He is an 'upasaka, jnaanavaan, vinamra, yet the shatru santaapaka'. Yajurveda vinītaś ca vedavidbhih supūjitah,dhanurvede ca vede ca vedāngeşu ca nisthitah/Rama was fully trained with the 'Yajur Veda Jnaana' on par with 'yajurveda maha panditas'. He also is well read of Rik-Saama vedas besides 'Shad Vedangas'.

Vishleskana on Vedas and Vedangas

Chaturvedas: Originally there was only one Unique Veda from the face of Lord Brahma but Vyasa Maharshi felt that the Single Veda covering all the aspects of Existence would be difficult to absorb by the successive generations and hence facilitated the division into Chatur Vedas viz. Rik-Yajur-Saama-Atharvana. Vedas are the beacon lights to search the ways and means to achieve the 'Purusharthas' of Dharma, Artha, Kama and Moksha. The four Vedas viz. Rig, Yajur, Saama and Atharva Vedas put together are stated to total one lakh Mantras. Rigveda contains two distinct 'Shaakhaas' or branches, viz. 'Sankhyayana' and 'Ashvala -ayana'and together contains one thousand Mantras, while Rigvediya Brahmana Bhhaga contains two thousand Mantras. Maharshis like Shri Krishna Dwaipayana took Rigveda as 'Pramana' (Standard) Veda. Yajur Veda contains nineteen thousand Mantras. Of these, the Brahmana Grandhas have one thousand Mantras and the Shaakhas have one thousand six hundred and

eight Mantras. In Yajurveda the main Shaakhaas are 'Kanvi', 'Maadhyanandini', 'Kathi', 'Maadhya Kathi', 'Maitraayani', 'Taittireeya' and 'Vaishampaaniya'. Saama Veda has two main Shakhas viz. 'Kouthuma' and 'Aatharvaayani' or Raamaayaniya' and these contain 'Veda', 'Aaranyaka', 'Uktha' and 'Vuuh' 'Gaanaas' or Verses. Saama Veda has nine thousand four hundred twenty five Mantras-all stated to be related to Brahma. Atharva Veda has Rishi-oriented Shaakhaas like Sumantu, Jaajali, Shlokaayani, Shounaka, Pippalaad and Munjakesha. These contain sixteen thousand Mantras and hundred 'Upanishads'. The Shaakha differentiation of Vedas and of Itihaasaas and Puraanas was stated to have been done by Vishnu Himself and were of Vishnu Swarupa. Vyaasa preached Puranas to Lomaharshana and to Suta by way of 'Purana Pravachana'. The main 'Sishyas' of Vyasa were Sumati, Agnivarcha, Shimshapaayan, Kritavrata and Saavarni. Shimshapaayan and others were engaged in constructing 'Samhitaas'. (Source: Agni Purana)

Shat Vedangas: Siksha, Vyakarana, Kalpa Grandha, Nirukta, Chhandas, and Jyotisha. *Siksha* is essentially about Sangeeta or Music the Swara Shastra viz. Sapta Swaras, Gramas or scale or gamut in music, Murchanas or intonations/modulations, ten Gunas, Padas (letters); Kalpa grantha comprises kalpas of Nakshatra or Chandra-Nakshatra movement; Veda for attaining Purushardhas viz. Dharma-Artha- Kaama-Moksha; Samhita about Tatwa Darshi, Mantras Chhandas etc; Angirasa Kalpa about abhichara vidhi vidhana like procedures of magic, charms, benevolent or malevolent karma kaanda and finally Shanti Kalpa, Mantras, Procedures, to ward off dangers, and usher in good tidings from Celestial, Terrestrial, extra terrestrial sources. Griha Kalpa too is significant like Homa Prakriyas, Mudras, Mangala Snaanaas, Abhishekas, Pujas for Deva-Devis and Nava Grahas etc. Vyakarana Shastra is about grammar, vibhaktis or cases, vachanas, naama - sarvanaamas, Pratyaya, Samaasa, Karakas. Nirukta is derived and rhetoric or artificial interpretation seeking to bring our the hidden meaning of Vedas; viz. 'nir' connoting the comprehensive sense that is sought to be conveyed and 'ukta' states that which is revealed more than what is concealed. Chhandas Shastra is stated as the feet of Vedas, being 'Vaidik' and 'Loukik'; Gayatri-Brihati-Ushnik-Jagati-Trishthup- Anushthup -Pankti being the Chhando Vidhi and the various combinations of 'Ganas' varied basically with 'ya-maa-taa-raa-ja-baa-na-sa-la-ga' and poetry made there of in three letter combinations; the ruling deities of the Ganas are: Ya gana (Water), Ma gana (Prithvi), Ta gana (Sky), Ra gana (Agni/fire), Ja gana (Surya), Bha gana (Chandra), Na gana (Ayu or Life/health) and Sa gana (Vaayu). Jyotisha Shastra is all about Siddantha Ganita, Jaataka/hora, and Samhita. The means of Jyotisha are Panchanga Sadhana by way of Thithi-Vaara-Nakshatra-Karana-Yoga; Grahana Sadhana of Solar/ Lunar Eclipses, besides Dik-Sadhana. Jaataka Skandha is the Science of Raashi-Shad Varga, 'Maitri Bhaavaabhaavaas' and Graha-Nakshatra compatibilities. (Source: Narada Purana)

Stannza 15 onward:

Vipulāmso mahābāhuh kambugrīvah śubhānanah, gūḍhajatruḥ sutāmrākṣo rāmo devi janaiḥ śrutaḥ/dundubhisvananirghoṣaḥ snigdhavarṇaḥ pratāpavān, samaḥ samavibhaktāngo varṇam śyāmamsamāśritaḥ/ Shri Rama's voice is clear and profound while his skin colour is of sparkling medium. His body parts are wonderfully chistelled and sturdy as his chest is broad, shoulders hefty, and 'naabhi sthaana' well proportioned to the stomach above. His knees too are in ideal alingment with legs. His eyelashes are alluring, finger tips and nails of both hands and feet are the most attractive. His tone, gait, and body middle are in perfect unison. All his fourteen body parts are like his eyes, nose, ears, mouth, thighs, hands, legs, knees, feet, lips, chin, broad face, skin, forehead, and so on. In fact, Shri Rama's Pancha Jnanendriyas viz. Ghrana-Rasa- Chakshu-Shrotra-Twak or smell, taste, see, hear and touch and Pancha Karmendriyas viz. nose-tongue- eyes- ears- skin respecively are in perfect and most ideal positioning. Satyadharmaparaḥ śrīmān samgrahānugrahe rataḥ, deśakālavibhāgajñaḥ sarvalokapriyamvadaḥ/ bhrātā ca tasya dvaimātraḥ saumitrir aparājitaḥ, anurāgeṇa rūpeṇa guṇaiś caiva tathāvidhaḥ/ tvām eva mārgamāṇo tau vicarantau vasumdharām, dadarśatur mṛgapatim pūrvajenāvaropitam/ ṛśyamūkasya pṛṣṭhe tu bahupādapasamkule, bhrātur bhāryārtam āsīnam sugrīvam priyadarśanam/ Such ideal most human named popular as Shri Rama, the 'satya dharma anushtha, shri

sampanna, praja seva tatpara, desha kaala vyavahara nipuna, sarva jana stotra para' was followed by his younger brother Veera Lakshmana who was like Shri Rama himself with equal charm, body structure and behaviour, except that Lalshmana's skin was of the glitter of gold. Both the cousins landed at the foot hills of Rishyamooka parvata searching for the exiled King Sugriva. Then I had taken them to Sugriva, but the latter was non-plussed at their sudden and strange appearance of Rama Lalshmanas with their respective bows and arrows wearing deer skins and climbed up to the mountaun top with sespense and fear! Then I made Sugriva realise that the strangers were brothers who had arrived seeking friendship with him, while I took the brothers on my shoulders and reached them to Sugriva. niveditau ca tattvena sugrīvāya mahātmane, tayor anyonyasambhāsād bhrśam prītir ajāyata/ tatra tau kīrtisampannau harīśvaranareśvarau, parasparakṛtāśvāsau kathayā pūrvavṛttayā/ taṁ tatah sāntvayām āsa sugrīvaṁ laksmanāgrajah, strīhetor vālinā bhrātrā nirastam uru tejasā/ Hanuman continued the narration to Devi Sita further: 'Devi! I had explained the details of what all had happened to both the parties in detail. They understood the contexts and assured of mutual help. Shri Raghunatha understood that Sugriva's elder brother Vaali a maha parakrami kicked Sugriva from the kingdom and even forcibly retained Sugriva's wife. On the other hand, when Lakshmana explained: 'Shri Rama's wife Devi Sita a 'maha pativrata' was forcibly kidnapped by Ravanasura when the 'maha veeraas' of Rama Lakshmana were absent by creating a circumstance of make believe 'maya'. sa śrutvā vānarendras tu lakṣmaṇeneritam vacaḥ, tadāsīn nisprabho 'tyartham grahagrasta ivāmsumān/ tatas tvadgātrasobhīni raksasā hriyamānayā, yāny ābharanajālāni pātitāni mahītale/ tāni sarvāni rāmāya ānīya hariyūthapāh, samhṛstā darśayām āsur gatim tu na vidus tava/ When Lakshmana heard thus, Sugriva turned pale as if Surya was devoued by Rahu! Then he called the co-vanaras to bring the ornaments and clothes dropped presumably by a distressed and crying loudly woman and displayed the same to Shri Rama Lakshmanas. tāni rāmāya dattāni,mayaiyopah -rtāni ca, svanavanty avakīrnanti tasmin vihatacetasi/ tāny aṅke darśanīyāni krtvā bahuvidham tatah, tena devaprakāśena devena paridevitam/ Sugriva further explained to Rama Lakshmanas: as the ornaments and upper garment coverings fell down on the mountain top, there were noises of loud and desparate cryings of a woman and the sounds of the droppings of ornaments and flying clothes down. paśyatas tasyā rudatas tāmyataś ca punaḥ punaḥ, prādīpayan dāśarathes tāni śokahutāśanam/ śavitam ca ciram tena duhkhārtena mahātmanā, mayāpi vividhair vākyaih krcchrād utthāpitah punah/Then Shri Rama readily recognised them, hugged them on to his chest, and broke down in to instant cryings. At that specific time, Dasharatha nandana Shri Rama was swooned down as if he was exposed to 'agni jvaalaas' suddenly. After slight recovery, he showed them to Lakshmana: tāni drstvā mahārhāni darśayitvā muhur muhuh, rāghavah sahasaumitrih sugrīve sa nyavedayat/ sa tavādarśanād ārve rāghavah paritapyate, mahatā įvalatā nityam agninevāgniparvatah/Then Shri Rama burst out addressing Devi Sita: 'Arya! I am unable to resist the view of the missing ornaments and clothes, and feel exposed to distressful reality as though was thrown into Jwaalaa mukhi parvatagni of missing you. tvatkṛte tam anidrā ca śokaś cintā ca rāghavam, tāpayanti mahātmānam agnyagāram ivāgnayah/ Devi Sita! Shri Rama was unable to three major issues viz. sleeplessness- exsessive cryingsand your consatnt memories like three 'agnis' of Aahavaneeya- Gaarhyapatya-and Dakshnaagni. tavādarśanaśokena rāghavah pravicālyate, mahatā bhūmikampena mahān iva śiloccayah/kānānāni suramyāṇi nadīprasravaṇāni ca, caran na ratim āpnoti tvam apaśyan nṛpātmaje/ sa tvām manujaśārdūlah ksipram prāpsyati rāghavah, samitrabāndhavam hatvā rāvanam janakātmaje/ Devi! As not being able to see you, he is totally broken down like mountains are broken down by severe earth quakes! Raja Kumari! In your absence, Rama is least interested in visiting excellent and picturesque greenries, the coolness of rivers and transparent water flows. Purusha Simha Rama is desperate to see you -and most certainly being aware of your whereabouts and whatabouts should be instantly present here, destroy Raana and his followers and meet you too soon. Both Rama and Sugriva are bound by mutual pratiginas with Agni Deva as the Saakshi.Rama on his part had already fulfilled his golden promise and here am I having been despatched for Devi Sita-anveshana. King Sugriva had despatched crores of Vaanara Yoddhhas like me or far more abled to north-west-east and now to the south. Happily I feel honoured to have discovered you here. Maha Bali Vaali's son named Kapi sreshtha Angada, the Yuva Raja of the 'maha vaanara sena' including some born with 'Devaamsha', is heading our dakshina vaanara

sena was disappointed, even having faced several challenges and desired to resort to 'atmaarpana' em mass as the prescribed by King Sugriva for our return. We had crossed impossible teraain, insurmounta ble mountains, and hence the 'aamarana upavaasaas'. Then the elder brother of Jatayu named Sampatiprevented us from the desperate of atmaarpana; you are aware Devi! Jatayu fought to near death the most disgusting Ravana while abducting you and were seen by Rama Lakshmanas subsequently and performed his 'antima samskaaraas'. Believe me Devi! as we headed by Angada prevented all of us the southern side bound vaanara sena boosted our morale: athāham harisainyasya sāgaram dṛśya sīdataḥ, vyavadhūya bhayam tīvram yojanānām śatam plutah/ lankā cāpi mayā rātrau pravistā rāksasākulā, rāvanas ca mayā drstas tvam ca sokanipīditā/etat te sarvam ākhyātam yathāvrttam anindite, abhibhāsasva mām devi dūto dāśarather aham/ Then all the 'vanara yodhhaas' reached the Sea shore but got nervous how to cross the other side of the Sea with a span of hundred vojanas by way of a very very long jump. As I was finally chosen and crossing hurdles on the way and at the other side of Lankapuri 'simha dwaara', I was able to succeed in visioning you finally as being tormented by Ravana and the surrounding Rakshasis. Sati shiromani! This is briefly my background and hopefully conveyed to you in essence. I am the trustworthy and dutiful servant and messenger of Shri Rama; I happen to be the Prime Minister of King Sugriva and might consider me as the son of Vayu Deva and Devi Anjana. Devi! Your dear husband Kakutstha kula bhushana Shri Rama Chandra is safe yet ever missing you, and so does Lakashmana your dear brother-in-law.' As Hanuman assuaged her mental feelings, Devi Sita was wet with tears of relief and signs of welcome auguries, then the latter continued further: 'Mithileshwari kumari! As you have enquired, hope I have replied to you in some detail. Now, please be brave, and ask me if you have any further clarifications. If allowed, may I leave now. hate 'sure samyati śambasādane; kapipravīreņa maharsicodanāt, tato 'smi vāyuprabhavo hi maithili; prabhāvatas tatpratimas ca vānarh/ Finally while seeing off Devi, Veera Hanuman asserted: 'I am the Vaanara putra of the famed Kesari who as prompted by Maharshi to kill Shambasaadanasura and married to Devi Ajana who in turn was wedded to Vayu Deva too as her fleeting husband!'

[Comprehensive Vishleshana on a) Kesari-Shambanaada-Anjana Kumari; b)-Vayu Deva and Anjana Devi-c) Glory of Anjaneya d) Hanuman and Ravanaasura

a) Kesari was the son of Gautami Rishi and Kesari's wife was Devi Anjana who secuered a son named Anjaneya. Once Raakshasa Shambasaadana spied on Anjana Kumari who was playfully singing a song but a dirty hand of a Rakshasa tried to draw her close as she was bewildered with fear as was seeking her near, whispering in a heavy: My dear dove! Why are you fleeing from me! As shrieked saying 'help me, help me.' The Rakshasa said: none ever can save you; not even God. Kesari a huge Vanara saw from a tree top and jumped down and intervened. There followed a roaring fight but the Rakshasa overpowered Kesari, who in turn aimed at the rakshasa with his bow and arrows. The fight continued as the Rakshasa took the form of a huge elephant. The rain of arrows continued yet the rakshasa remained invincible since the thick skin of the elephant was infact boomeranging back to Kesari. Then Kesari suddenly assumed a miniature form, flew on to the elephant head, tortured the weakest points of the elephant's brain cells. The Rakshasa in response dropped the miniatured vaanara down to earth as Kesari's blood cells were cut and blood started flowing out. Meanwhile, the dazed Anjana Kumari prayed to Lord Shiva, and a whispering voice was heard: nothing could happen to the rakshasa as he is invincible, except by the rakshasa's own blood. Anjana Kumari got the hint, secretly crawled on the ground, picked up an arrow from Kesari, smeared rakshasa's own blood there on, whispered to Kesari, reached the bow and arrow to his hands and hit at Rakshasa once again. Meanwhile, Shambasaadana took the form of a huge bull with a view to gore Kesari's writhing body to trample to death by lowering the bull horns. Kesari stood up somehow and shot his arrows- as smeared by Shambaraasura's own blood- at the bull's eyes. The bull's eyes were punctured and the rakshas's blood came out in flows and the Rakshasa collapsed down. Kumari Anjana had quickly smeared the rakshasa's own blood on to Kesari's arrows and supplied to the bow of Kesari. Thus crashed down the Rakshas's huge bull body to death. As Maharshis witnessd by their 'divya drishti' appeared and endeared both Kesari and Anjana and having taken their mutual consent blessed them as ideal couples.

b) Excerpts from Sarga 67of Kishkindha Khanda of Valmiki Ramayana on Vayu Deva and Devi Anjana:

Veeranjaneya! Your origin and of birth are indescribable: Pujikasthala was indeed a famed Apsrasa was cursed to be born as 'Kapini' or Vanara Stree famed as Anjana who was wedded to Kesari. As the Kapini had the ability to assume any form as she pleased and during the rainy season was seated on a mountain top dressed is silks, with priceless ornaments and derorated with sweet odoured flowers. Then there was a sweep of wind and Devi Anjana and Vayu Deva touched her tightly. sā tu tatraiva sambhrāntā suvrttā vākyam abravīt, ekapatnīvratam idam ko nāśayitum icchati/ añjanāyā vacaḥ śrutvā mārutaḥ pratyabhāṣata, na tvām himsāmi suśroṇi mā bhūt te subhage bhayam/ But Devi Anjana was an ideal 'Pativrata' and in that hesitative concern, did not make futher advances and was in act terribly afraid. Then Vayu Deva smilled reassuringly and said: 'Who indeed wishes to spoil your paativratya vrata! Sushreni! Don't you be scared as your mind must be rid of misleading thoughts. manasāsmi gato yat tvām pariṣvajya yaśasvini, vīryavān buddhisampannaḥ putras tava bhaviṣyati/ abhyutthitam tataḥ sūryam bālo dṛṣṭvā mahāvane, phalam ceti jighṛkṣus tvam utplutyābhyapato divam/ Yashasvini! I would only like to embrace you mentally by way of 'maanasika sankalpa' but not physically. As a result of such 'maanasika samyoga', you would be blessed with a 'Maha Bala Paraakrama, Buddhi Sampanna Putra praapti' who could cross oceans with speed and great ease!.Subsequently, Anjana Devi gave birth in a mountain cave!

c) Glory of Anjaneya from Sarga 67 as above:

Even in childhood, you always felt that Surya Deva too was a sweet fruit on the sky. śatāni trīni gatvātha yojanānām mahākape, tejasā tasya nirdhūto na visādam tato gatah/ tāvad āpatatas tūrnam antariksam mahākape, ksiptam indrena te vajram krodhāvistena dhīmatā/ tatah śailāgraśikhare vāmo hanur abhajyata, tato hi nāmadheyam te hanumān iti kīrtyate/ Maha Kape! Therefore you jumped up by three hundred yojanas once and felt that you could not still reach Surya. You kept on trying and finally reached Surya Deva, but Indra Deva was angry and hit you with his Vajraayudha. That was why your left side hanu- was hurt and hence your name is 'hanuman'! On seeing the entire scene, Vayu Deva was terribly concerned and thus the Prabhanjana Deva Vaayu stopped his movement in trilokas and thenthe Ashta Dikpalakas tried their best but finally Brahma Deva had to pacify Vayu Deva blessing Anjaneya would be immune from 'astra shastras'! vajrasya ca nipātena virujam tvām samīksya ca, sahasranetrah prītātmā dadau te varam uttamam/ svacchandataś ca maranam te bhūyād iti vai prabho, sa tvam kesarinah putrah ksetrajo bhīmavikramah/ mārutasyaurasah putras tejasā cāpi tatsamah, tvam hi vāyusuto vatsa plavane cāpi tatsamah/ Anjaneya! Even 'vajra prahara' by Indra Deva would be futile on your body and Mrityu is in your contol'. Finally, Maha Jaambavaan asserted: tad vijrmbhasva vikrāntah plavatām uttamo hy asi, tvadvīryam drastukāmeyam sarvā vānaravāhinī/ uttistha hariśārdūla langhayasva mahārnavam, parā hi sarvabhūtānām hanuman yā gatis tava/ viṣāṇṇā harayaḥ sarve hanuman kim upekṣase, vikramasva mahāvego visnus trīn vikramān iva/ Parakrami Mahaanjaneya! Now is the time that you have to proclaim to the trilokas to heighen your stature as the Vanara Sena is longing to witness what you really indeed are. Kindly get up and cross this Maha Sagara in one jump as that indeed is a sure step for Loka Kalyana. All the Vaanara Veeras are right now are on the verge of collapse. As Maha Vishnu as Vamana Deva measured the Universe with three steps, please put forth three steps ahead to sure success! As Hanuman was ready to cross the Maha Samudra with gusto, the Vanara Sena which had hither to were drowned in incapacity, helplessness and preparedness for self sacrifices, roared in ecstasy. Samstūyamāno hanumān vyavardhata mahābalaḥ, samāvidhya ca lāṅgūlaṁ harṣāc ca balam eyivān/ Enthused by their frenzy, he gradually increased his height and the proportionate volume of his body, just as Vamana Deva did. harīṇām utthito madhyāt samprahṛṣṭatanūruhah, abhivādya harīn vṛddhān hanumān idam abravīt/ arujan parvatāgrāni hutāśanasakho 'nilah, balavān aprameyaś ca vāyur ākāśagocarah/ tasyāham śīghravegasya śīghragasya mahātmanah, mārutasyaurasah putrah plavane nāsti me samah/ Veera Hanuman stood amidst the Vaanaras and addressed them especially the elderly Vanara Vriddhas thus: 'I am of the strength and speed of Vaayu Deva, my originator and am possessive of endless energy. Vayu

Deva is a great friend of Agni Deva! I am blessed with the might of destryoing mountains to pieces. Being the step son of Vayu Deva, my single jump could cross Maha Samudras. I could perform thousand parikramas of the thousand yojana spread of Maha Meru Parvata. bāhuvegapraņunnena sāgareņāham utsahe, samā -plāvayitum lokam saparvatanadīhradam/ mamorujanghāvegena bhavişyati samutthitah, sammūrchitamahāgrāhah samudro varunālavah/ pannagāśanam ākāśe patantam paksisevitam, vainateyam aham śaktah parigantum sahasraśah/ With the unimaginable might of my shoulders and hands, I could splash and pound the high waves of Maha Samudras, and create devastation and mahem of high mountains. Lord Varuna's nivasa of Sapta Sagaras [Sapta Samudras: Lavana or Salt, Ikshurasa or Sugarcane juice, Sura or Wine, Ghrita or Classified Butter, Dahi or Curd, Ksheera or Milk and Suswada or Sweet Water] could be violently shaken to distress. Vaanara vriddhaas! Like Maha Veera Garuda the elder son of Vinata Devi is in the habit of 'akaasha parikrama' and my ability is such that I could comfortably perform such parikramas by thousand times. I could follow Surya Deva in his regular daily pradakshinas from Udayaagiri to the Astamaagiri! utsaheyam atikrāntum sarvān ākāśagocarān, sāgaram kşobhayişyāmi dārayişyāmi medinīm/ parvatān kampayişyāmi plavamānah plavamgamāh, harişye coruvegena plavamāno mahārnavam/ Surely I have the capacity and aptitude to cross ahead of Nava Grahas, dry up oceans, destroy mountains, and keep jumping across the universe! buddhyā cāham prapaśyāmi manaś ceṣṭā ca me tathā, aham drakṣyāmi vaidehīm pramodadhvam plavamgamāh/ mārutasya samo vege garudasya samo jave, ayutam yojanānām tu gamisyāmīti me matih/ vāsavasya savajrasya brahmano vā svayambhuvah, vikramya sahasā hastād amṛtam tad ihānaye, lankām vāpi samutksipya gaccheyam iti me matih/ Vaanaras! As I apply my mind and cogitate, so do the circumstances and conditions too shape up likewise. My decisiveness right now is to see Videha Kumari's immediate darshan; now, you folks! Enjoy now and rejoice with very quick and most positive results and sweet fruits. I am only comparable to Vayu Deva and Garuda Deva; my strong belief and firm conviction at present is that I could comfortably undertake a rapid run of ten thousand vojanas of distance by air! Believe me my friends, right now, my morale and enthusiasm is such that I could seize and secure 'amrit' from the hands of Vajradhaari Indra or even Syayambhu Brahma Deva himself! Of which avail is, after all, pulling and uprooting the Kingdom Ravanasur's Lanka!' As Veera Hanuman assured thumping success from his tour of Lanka and back, the huge mass of Vaanaras paid sky high tributes, clappings, and victory shoutings of feverish rejoicings. Then commenced 'Swasti Vachanaas' and high tributes to the hero stating: ṛṣīṇām ca prasādena kapivṛddhamatena ca,gurūṇām ca prasādena plavasva tvam mahārnavam/ sthāsyāmaś caikapādena yāvadāgamanam tava, tvadgatāni ca sarvesām jīvitāni vanaukasām/ 'Maha Vanara Anjaneya! May you carry with you in your epic like tour by crossing the Maha Sagara with memorable success and safe return the heart felt blessings of Maharshis, Gurus, Elders and friends. We would all await your successful travel and very fruitful return; do trust us that your suucess would provide us all a fresh lease of our lives.' Hanuman replied: As I would now jump and cross the Samudra, be assured that in the universe none could ever imitate. My initial jump would be to the top of Mahendra Parvata which is replete with trees bearing juicy and sweet fruits.' Thus, the Maha Kapeshvara reached, selected a few luscious fruits, enjoyed them relaxingly and remebered of Lanka forthwith for the subsequent jump forward.

d) Hanuman and Ravanasura from Bhavishya Purana:

Kesari the son of Gautami Rishi and Kesari's wife Anjana secured a grand son named *Hanuman* with the 'Amsa' (facet) of Parama Shiva and Vayu Deva too was responsible in the birth of the boy. Mistaking Surya Deva for a red-coloured fruit, the boy was tempted to fly skywad tried to hold Surya Deva, as Indra threw his Vajra on Hanuman's body and Ravana tried to hold Hanuman's tail but Hanuman never left his firm hold of Surya Deva. Ravan kept on fighting for a year in vain and tried to wriggle out of Hanuman's powerful clasp. Meanwhile Rishi Vishrava arrived at the spot and eulogised Hanuman to release Ravana the terror of the Universe. There after Hanuman resided for long time at Pampapura on the banks of PampaRiver as a strong fixture and was thus acclaimed as 'Sthanu'. Also since Ravana who had dictated

the World and controlled Devas was humiliated by *Anjaneya*, his name and fame spread as Hanuman: *Nighnanta cha Suraan mukhyan Ravanam Lokaraavanam, Nihanti Mushthirbhayah sa Hanumaaniti vishrutah.* (Ravana who was in the habit of badly hurting Devas and related Demi-Gods and killing Vishnu-Bhaktas without mercy had thus been restrained badly and received a jolt by Hanuman; the 'Mushtighatas' or 'Hanus' (beatings of closed hand grasps) damaged Ravana was the reason why Hanuman was named as such. Lord Brahma informed Hanuman that during the twenty eighth Tretayuga's first Part of Vaivaswa Manvantara, Bhagavan Vishnu would take the Incarnation of Shri Rama and that he would achieve Rama's unreserved devotion to Hanuman and destroy the clan of Ravana, his cruel brothers and sinful sons.]

Sarga Thirty Six

Maha Veera Hanuman bestows Shri Rama's finger ring to Devi Sita as a memory refresher- the highly excited Devi Sita falls back to her memory screen, as Hanuman assures Rama's arrival too soon!

Bhūya eva mahātejā hanūmān mārutātmajaḥ, abravīt praśritam vākyam sītāpratyayakāraṇāt/ vānaro 'ham mahābhāge dūto rāmasya dhīmataḥ, rāmanāmānkitam cedam paśya devy angulīyakam, samāśvasihi bhadram te ksīnaduhkhaphalā hy asi/ grhītvā preksamānā sā bhartuh karavibhūsanam, bhartāram iva samprāptā jānakī muditābhavat/ cāru tad vadanam tasyās tāmraśuklāyateksanam, babhūva praharsodagram rāhumukta ivodurāt/ tataḥ sā hrīmatī bālā bhartuḥ samdeśaharṣitā, parituṭṣā priyam śrutvā prāśamsata mahākapim/vikrāntas tvam samarthas tvam prājñas tvam vānarottama, yenedam rākṣasapadam tvayaikena pradharṣitam/ śatayojanavistīrṇaḥ sāgaro makarālayaḥ, vikramaślāghanīyena kramatā gospadīkrtah/ na hi tvām prākrtam manye vanaram vanararsabha, yasya te nāsti samtrāso rāvanān nāpi sambhramah/ arhase ca kapiśrestha mayā samabhibhāsitum, yady asi presitas tena rāmena viditātmanā/ presavisvati durdharso rāmo na hy aparīksitam, parākramam avijñāva matsakāśam viśesatah/ distyā ca kuśalī rāmo dharmātmā dharmavatsalah, laksmanaś ca mahātejāh sumitrānandavardhanaḥ/ kuśalī yadi kākutsthaḥ kim nu sāgaramekhalām, mahīm dahati kopena vugāntāgnir ivotthitah/, atha vā śaktimantau tau surānām api nigrahe, mamaiva tu na duhkhānām asti manye viparyayah/ kaccic ca vyathate rāmah kaccin na paripatyate, uttarāni ca kāryāni kurute purușottamaḥ/ kaccin na dīnaḥ sambhrāntaḥ kāryeşu ca na muhyati, kaccin puruṣakāryāṇi kurute nrpateh sutah/ dvividham trividhopāyam upāyam api sevate, vijigīsuh suhrt kaccin mitresu ca paramtapah/kaccin mitrāni labhate mitraiś cāpy abhigamyate, kaccit kalyānamitraś ca mitraiś cāpi puraskrtah/ kaccid āśāsti devānām prasādam pārthivātmaja,kaccit purusakāram ca daivam ca pratipadyate/kaccin na vigatasneho vivāsān mayi rāghavah, kaccin mām vyasanād asmān moksayisyati vānaraḥ/ sukhānām ucito nityam asukhānām anūcitaḥ, duḥkham uttaram āsādya kaccid rāmo na sīdati/ kausalyāyās tathā kaccit sumitrāyās tathaiva ca, abhīkṣṇam śrūyate kaccit kuśalam bharatasya ca/ mannimittena mānārhaḥ kaccic chokena rāghavaḥ, kaccin nānyamanā rāmaḥ kaccin mām tārayiṣyati/ kaccid akṣauhiṇīm bhīmām bharato bhrātṛvatsalaḥ, dhvajinīm mantribhir guptām preṣayiṣvati matkṛte/ vānarādhipatih śrīmān sugrīvah kaccid esvati, matkrte haribhir vīrair vrto dantanakhāyudhaih/ kaccic ca lakşmanah surah sumitranandavardhanah, astravic charajalena rakşasan vidhamişyati/ raudrena kaccid astrena rāmena nihatam rane, draksyāmy alpena kālena rāvanam sasuhrijanam/ kaccin na tad dhemasamānavarnam; tasyānanam padmasamānagandha, mayā vinā śusyati śokadīnam; jalaksaye padmam ivātapena/ dharmāpadeśāt tyajataś ca rājyām; mām cāpy aranyam nayatah padātim, nāsīd vyathā yasya na bhīr na śokaḥ; kaccit sa dhairyam hṛdaye karoti/ na cāsya mātā na pitā na cānyaḥ; snehād viśisto 'sti mayā samo vā, tāvad dhy aham dūtajijīviseyam; yāvat pravṛttim śṛṇuyām priyasya/ itīva devī vacanam mahārtham; tam vānarendram madhurārtham uktvā, śrotum punas tasya vaco 'bhirāmam; rāmārthayuktam virarāma rāmā/ sītāyā vacanam śrutvā mārutir bhīmavikramaḥ, śirasy añjalim ādhāya vākyam uttaram abravīt/ na tvām ihasthām jānīte rāmah kamalalocanah, śrutvaiva tu vaco mahyam ksipram esyati rāghavah/ camūm prakarsan mahatīm haryrskaganasamkulām, vistambhayitvā bāṇaughair akṣobhyam varuṇālayam, karisyati purīm lankām kākutsthah śāntarākṣasām/ tatra vady antarā mrtvur vadi devāh sahāsurāh, sthāsyanti pathi rāmasva sa tān api

vadhişyati/tavādarśanajenārye śokena sa pariplutaḥ, na śarma labhate rāmaḥ simhārdita iva dvipaḥ/dardareṇa ca te devi śape mūlaphalena ca, malayena ca vindhyena meruṇā mandareṇa ca/yathā sunayanam valgu bimbauṣṭham cārukuṇḍalam, mukham drakṣyasi rāmasya pūrṇacandram ivoditam/kṣipram drakṣyasi vaidehi rāmam prasravaṇe girau, śatakratum ivāsīnam nākapṛṣṭhasya mūrdhani/ na māmsam rāghavo bhunkte na cāpi madhusevate, vanyam suvihitam nityam bhaktam aśnāti pañcamam/naiva damśān na maśakān na kīṭān na sarīṣṛpān, rāghavo 'panayed gatrāt tvadgatenāntarātmanā/nityam dhyānaparo rāmo nityam śokaparāyaṇam, nānyac cintayate kim cit sa tu kāmavaśam gataḥ/anidraḥ satatam rāmaḥ supto 'pi ca narottamaḥ, sīteti madhurām vāṇīm vyāharan pratibudhyate/dṛṣṭvā phalam vā puṣpam vā yac cānyat strīmanoharam, bahuśo hā priyety evam śvasams tvām abhibhāṣate/ sa devi nityam paritapyamānas; tvām eva sītety abhibhāṣamāṇaḥ, dhṛtavrato rājasuto mahātmā; tavaiva lābhāya kṛtaprayatnaḥ/ sā rāmasamkīrtanavītaśokā; rāmasya śokena samānaśokā, śaranmukhenāmbuda śeṣacandrā; niśeva vaidehasutā babhūm/

Veera Hanuman then handed over Shri Rama's hand finger 'anguthi' as a parting refreshener of sweet memories stating that Shri Rama had himself given to be handed over to Devi Sita and assured her of most auspicious moments soon. Devi Sita was truly thrilled as if Shri Rama himself had met her. Her face was brightened up with blushings as her looks were suddenly transformed to happiness and relief as if Full Moon was released by the clutches of Rahu Graha. She exclaimed to Hanuman: Vanara shiromani! I am totally convinced that you are not an ordinary Vaanara but a Maha Paraakrami, Shakti shaali, and most essentially a 'Buddhimaan' of excellence to have dared to enter this fortress of Lankapuri all by your grit and brayery, without even a semblance of fear and hesitation. I am convinced now that an unparalleled 'atma jnaani' of Shri Rama's caliber and reputation had selected you as his messenger as he should have been totally convinced of your capabilities. Having now learnt from you about the anxious moments being spent by Rama Lakshmanas who indeed are safe otherwise, I am relieved and once you convey to them personally, they too ought be pacified equally so on your return to them. Would not Shri Rama now display his caliber to burn down with anger and revenge the entire earth, let alone cross the Maha Sagara now and appear here instantaneously! Indeed, Rama Lakshmanas would not let even celestial powers let off now that my whereabouts are conveyed to them, since so far they had to necessarily keep their hands folded. Tell me Vanara Veera! Are Rama Lakshmanas getting extremely agitated or able to supress their inner agitations! kaccin na dīnaḥ sambhrāntaḥ kāryeṣu ca na muhyati, kaccin purusakāryāni kurute nrpateh sutah/ dvividham trividhopāyam upāyam api sevate, vijigīsuh suhrt kaccin mitresu ca paramtapah/ kaccin mitrāni labhate mitraiś cāpy abhigamyate, kaccit kalyānamitraś ca mitraiś cāpi puraskrtah/Is Rama's psyche is orderly enough to exercise his sensitivities! Does he get disheatened and broken down as I am! Does he remember the battle 'dharmas' of Saama-Daana- Bheda-Dandas! Shri Rama has the ability and shrewdness of considering 'sharanaagatas' from the enemy camp! Does he remember still the art of collecting friendships on thed basis of quid pro quo!

[Vishleshana of Six Neeti Chandrikas vide Sarga Seventy of Valmiki Aranya Ramayana: 'Mahabali Kabandha shook off the ashes of the totally burnt off body and was visioned to have alighted a celestial vimana with clean robes smilingly and addressed Raghu nandana and declared: rāma ṣaḍ yuktayo loke yābhiḥ sarvaṁ vimṛśyate, parimṛṣṭo daśāntena daśābhāgena sevyate/ Shri Rama! Listen to me carefully: there are six ways and means of accomplishing Six 'Neeti Chandrikas' viz. Sandhi-Vigraha-Yaana-Aasana-Dwidhi bhaava-and samaashraya. Sandhi denotes the Principle of Truce, Tolerance and Coexistene. Vigraha refers to conflict of similar forces leading to balance of power. Yaana suggests travel or momement of forces for attaack-aasana or tishtha the waiting period-dwividha of bheda bhaava or break up of friendship by similar forces of the enemies and finally 'samashraya' or the celebrations of victory of togetherness.']

Stanza 20 onward continued:

Devi Sita continues to ask Hanuman a series of questions: Kaccin na vigatasneho vivāsān mayi rāghavah, kaccin mām vyasanād asmān moksayisyati vānarah/ sukhānām ucito nityam asukhānām anūcitah, duḥkham uttaram āsādya kaccid rāmo na sīdati/ kausalyāyās tathā kaccit sumitrāyās tathaiva ca, abhīkṣṇam śrūyate kaccit kuśalam bharatasya ca/Most unfortunately, Veera Hanuman! I have been way for long and far away. Hence my queries: Trust Shri Raghunatha had not been left lonely without friendships; would he really relieve me of my misery! Am I not deserving enough to joys of living! But ever destined to thick layers of cryings and weepings all my life one after another! How is it Shgri Rama too able to suffer this kind of wasteful living! Is his health too dwindling one shock after another, physically, mentally, and psychologically! Are the messages of good health of Devis Koushalya- Sumitra and of Bharata from time to time! mannimittena mānārhah kaccic chokena rāghavah, kaccin nānyamanā rāmah kaccin mām tārayisyati/ kaccid aksauhinīm bhīmām bharato bhrātṛvatsalah, dhvajinīm mantribhir guptām presavisyati matkrte/ vānarādhipatih śrīmān sugrīvah kaccid esyati, matkrte haribhir vīrair vṛto dantanakhāyudhaih/Is Sammananeeya Raghunadha is crying away too much for me! Trust he had not diverted from my memory as intensely as before! Would I be ever relieved of my state of affairs! Hope Bharata Kumara had by now mobilised akshouhinis of well disciplined Sena with trained military skills, 'chatur balaasa' of foot slodiers, cavalry, elephantry, and camels, under the close association with the very able ministers and advisers! To which extent King Sugriva could muster the Vanara Sena despite their numbers to utilise their teeth and nails and destroy the 'maayaavi raakshasaas', raw flesh eaters, in cruelty and desperation! kaccic ca laksmanah śūrah sumitrānandavardhanah, astravic charajālena rākṣasān vidhamiṣyati/ raudreṇa kaccid astreṇa rāmeṇa nihatam raṇe, drakṣyāmy alpena kālena rāvanam sasuhrijanam/ kaccin na tad dhemasamānavarnam; tasvānanam padmasamānagandha, mavā vinā śuṣyati śokadīnam; jalakṣaye padmam ivātapena/Till which extent, could Lakshmana even being a renowned arrowsman and a 'sarva astra-shastra jnaata', could halt the numberless rakshasaas! May I ever survive to vision the spell and spree of tearing Ravana and his clan by Raghava into pieces! As a lotus gets dried off under severe mid day Surya's heat, would I not whither away by that time to see Shri Rama destroying the entirety of Rakshasaas on earth. dharmāpadeśāt tyajataś ca rājyām; mām cāpy aranyam nayatah padātim, nāsīd vyathā yasya na bhīr na śokah; kaccit sa dhairyam hṛdaye karoti/ na cāsya mātā na pitā na cānvah; snehād viśisto 'sti mavā samo vā, tāvad dhy aham dūtajijīvisevam; vāvat pravrttim śrnuyām priyasya/ Could Shri Raghunadha having discarded Kingship on the basis of 'pitruyaakya paripaalata' entered dandakaaranya with utter despair of his dear beloved wife, still maintain the same composure and mental energy now! Veera Hanuman the able Shri Rama bhakta! Please mark my words, I have never before my association with dear Rama, I ever received such friendship, affinity and pure love either from my parents, close associates and even enviers. Till my last breathing in my life, I keep craving for Rama and Rama alone, but not even of celestials or their abodes'. As Hanuman heard the enquiries, searching questions and expressions of her aspirations of Devi Sita, he was too patient never to interrupt her and let her steam off her long pent up emotions and feelings. na tvām ihasthām jānīte rāmaḥ kamalalocanah, śrutvaiva tu vaco mahyam kṣipram eṣyati rāghavah/ camūm prakarṣan mahatīm harvrskaganasamkulām, vistambhavitvā bānaughair aksobhvam varunālavam, karisvati purīm lankām kākutsthah śāntarāksasām/ tatra yady antarā mrtyur yadi devāh sahāsurāh, sthāsyanti pathi rāmasya sa tān api vadhişyati/ Devi! As I have been in Lanka and therefore for Devi Sitaanveshana, I am not able to to provide an update on the present well being of Shri Rama, but be assured that as Indra lifted up and made Shashi Devi relieved of danavas, you should very soon be rrelieved of your agony. As soon as I return to Shri Rama, he would at once seek to arrive here with thed entire sena of Vanaraas and giant bears. They should too soon shake up the Maha Samudra, build up a 'setu bandhana' or a bridge across the Saagara with the almost instant arrows of Veera Rama. Thus, even of Mrityu Devata, of Deva-samuha or gigantic rakshasaas are encountered they should all be perished!

[Vishleshana: Refer to Vishleshana on Danava Anuhlaada-Shachi Devi- Indra vide Essence of Valmiki Kishkindha Ramayana -Sarga 39: 'Shachi Devi the daughter of Danava Puloma was fond of Indra, even before theor wedding, but Puloma liked another danava youth named Anuhlada. With the secret consent and permission of Puloma, Anuhlada forcibly abducted Shachi Devi. Indra attacked and killed hom

brutally and married Shachi Devi. In further revenge, Indra killed his father in law Danava Puloma thereafter'.]

tavādarśanajenārye śokena sa pariplutah, na śarma labhate rāmah simhārdita iva dvipah/ dardareṇa ca te devi sape mūlaphalena ca, malayena ca vindhvena merunā mandarena ca/ vathā sunayanam valgu bimbauştham cārukundalam, mukham drakşyasi rāmasya pūrņacandram ivoditam/ kşipram drakşyasi vaidehi rāmam prasravaņe girau, śatakratum ivāsīnam nākapṛṣṭhasya mūrdhani/ Arya Sita! Even I am unable to see for myself the physical and mental torture and am simply bewildered; can't you imagine how Shri Rama could ever tolerate my description to him; he ought to jump up and get ready instantly like a fierce king of Lions on a miserable king of elephants and resort to a killing spree of Ravana and the clan, so that the menace of rakshasaas gets rid of in the lokas. Devi! We simple yet brave Vanaras are contented with our residing on mountains like Mandhara and are satisfied by suviving with the food of fresh fruits, nuts and roots, while rejoicing and regaling at the Purnachandra like visage of Shri Ramachandra, his lotus like eyes and kind glances, red lips like of 'bimbaphala' and his sprakling ear rings, Be assured Devi Sita! Shri Rama should very soon arrive like Indra himself seated on the celestial Elephant Iravata as generated by the Ksheera Samudra Mathana, on the top of the Pasravana Mountain! na māmsam rāghavo bhunkte na cāpi madhusevate, vanyam suvihitam nityam bhaktam aśnāti pañcamam/naiva damsān na masakān na kītān na sarīsṛpān, rāghavo 'panayed gatrāt tvadgatenāntarāt manā/ nitvam dhvānaparo rāmo nitvam śokaparāvanam, nānvac cintavate kim cit sa tu kāmavaśam gatah/ Devi Sita! I am aware that none of the Raghuvamsheeyaas are meat eaters or 'madyapaanaas'. Then what indeed is Shri Rama used to: he keeps on fasting for four durations of a day and on the fifth, eats a frugal food of jungle fruits, roots and nuts. He does not even clear off on his body of flies, scorpions, or even poisonous snakes crawling freely as he truly observes the principle of being against 'jeeva himsa'! Parama Parivrata Shiromani Jaanaki Devi! I am totally aware of your agony of seperation from Rama, as your truly and literally single minded of Rama and only Rama alone! anidrah satatam rāmah supto 'pi ca narottamah, sīteti madhurām vānīm vyāharan pratibudhyate/ drstvā phalam vā puṣpam vā yac cānyat strīmanoharam, bahuśo hā priyety evam śvasams tvām abhibhāṣate/ sa devi nityam paritapyamānas; tvām eva sītety abhibhāsamānah, dhrtavrato rājasuto mahātmā; tavaiva lābhāya krtaprayatnah/ sā rāmasamkīrtanavītaśokā; rāmasya śokena samānaśokā, śaranmukhenāmbuda śeṣacandrā; niśeva vaidehasutā babhūm/ Devi Sita! As Shri Rama is always concerned of your welfare only; while he hardly sleeps, but when sleep overcomes him, he keeps on muttering the name of 'Sita! Sita' in whisperings! As and when, he sees ripe fruits, fresh and fragrant flowers, or even crosses charming women, then he draws long breathings murmuring 'ha priye, ha priye'. Devi! Raja Rama is ever deeply pensive, and is craving for you literally and truly!' As Hanuman kept on describing thus, Devi Sita was immersed in the sweet memories and the present states of minds mutually like the usherings of 'sharad ritu' when the twilights occur as dark clouds are surrounded by the emerging Moon as desperation and relief were to occur coincidentally!

Sarga Thirty Seven

As Devi Sita seeks Hanuman to hasten Shri Rama's arrival at Lanka, Hanuman suggests carrying her and reach Rama swiftly, but she declines giving reasons, especially stressing Rama's invincibility.

Sītā tadvacanam śrutvā pūrṇacandranibhānanā, hanūmantam uvācedam dharmārthasahitam vacaḥ/amṛtam viṣasamṣṛṣṭam tvayā vānarabhāṣitam, yac ca nānyamanā rāmo yac ca śokaparāyaṇaḥ/aiśvarye vā suvistīrṇe vyasane vā sudāruṇe, rajjveva puruṣam baddhvā kṛtāntaḥ parikarṣati/vidhir nūnam asamhāryaḥ prāṇinām plavagottama, saumitrim mām ca rāmam ca vyasanaiḥ paśya mohitān/śokasyāsya kadā pāram rāghavo 'dhigamiṣyati, plavamānaḥ pariśrānto hatanauḥ sāgare yathā/rākṣasānām kṣayam kṛtvā sūdayitvā ca rāvaṇam, laṅkām unmūlitām kṛtvā kadā drakṣyati mām patiḥ/sa vācyaḥ samtvarasveti yāvad eva na pūryate, ayam samvatsaraḥ kālas tāvad dhi mama jīvitam/vartate daśamo māso dvau tu śeṣau plavamgama, rāvaṇena nṛśamsena samayo yaḥ kṛto mama/vibhīṣaṇena ca bhrātrā mama

niryātanam prati, anunītah prayatnena na ca tat kurute matim/ mama pratipradānam hi rāvanasya na rocate, rāvaņam mārgate samkhye mṛtyuḥ kālavaśam gatam/ jyeṣṭhā kanyānalā nama vibhīṣaṇasutā kape, tayā mamaitad ākhyātam mātrā prahitayā svayam/ avindhyo nāma medhāvī vidvān rākṣasapumgavaḥ, dhṛtimāñ śīlavān vṛddho rāvaṇasya susammataḥ/ rāmāt kṣayam anuprāptam rakṣasām pratyacodayat, na ca tasyāpi duṣṭātmā śṛṇoti vacanam hitam/ āśamseti hariśreṣṭha kṣipram mām prāpsyate patih, antarātmā hi me śuddhas tasmimś ca bahavo guṇāh/ utsāhah pauruṣam sattvam ānṛśamṣyam kṛtajñatā, vikramaś ca prabhāvaś ca santi vānararāghave/ caturdaśasahasrāṇi rākṣasānām jaghāna yaḥ, janasthāne vinā bhrātrā śatruḥ kas tasya nodvijet, na sa śakyas tulayitum vyasanaiḥ purusarsabhah, aham tasyānubhāvajñā śakrasyeva pulomajā/ śarajālāmśumāñ śūrah kape rāmadivākaraḥ, śatrurakṣomayam toyam upaśoṣam nayiṣyati/ iti samjalpamānām tām rāmārthe śokakarśitām, aśrusampūrnavadanām uvāca hanumān kapih/ śrutvaiva tu vaco mahyam ksipram esyati rāghavah, camūm prakarsan mahatīm haryrksaganasamkulām/ atha vā mocavisyāmi tām adyaiva hi rākaasāt,/smād duḥkhād upāroha mama pṛṣṭham anindite/ tvam hi pṛṣṭhagatām kṛtvā samtariṣyāmi sāgaram,/śaktir asti hi me vodhum lankām api sarāvaņām/ aham prasravaņasthāya rāghavāyādya Maithili, prāpavisyāmi śakrāva havvam hutam ivānalah/ draksvasy advaiva vaidehi rāghavam sahalakşmanam, vyavasāya samāyuktam viṣṇum daityavadhe yathā/ tvaddarśanakṛtotsāham āśramastham mahābalam, puramdaram ivāsīnam nāgarājasya mūrdhani/ pṛṣṭham āroha me devi mā vikānksasva śobhane, yogam anviccha rāmena śaśānkeneva rohinī/ kathayantīva candrena sūrveneva suvarcalā matpṛstham adhiruhya tvam tarākāśamahārnavam/ na hi me samprayātasya tvām ito nayato 'ngan, anugantum gatim śaktāḥ sarve lankānivāsinah/ yathaivāham iha prāptas tathaivāham asamśayam, yāsyāmi paśya vaidehi tvām udyamya vihāyasam/ maithilī tu hariśreṣṭhāc chrutvā vacanam adbhutam, harsavismitasarvāngī hanūmantam athābravīt/ hanūman dūram adhvanam katham mām voḍhum icchasi, tad eva khalu te manye kapityam hariyūthapa/ katham vālpaśarīras tyam mām ito netum icchasi, sakāśam mānavendrasya bhartur me plavagarsabha/ sītāyā vacanam śrutvā hanūmān mārutātmajah, cintayām āsa laksmīvān navam paribhavam kṛtam/ na me jānāti sattvam vā prabhāvam vāsiteksanā, tasmāt paśyatu vaidehī yad rūpam mama kāmatah/ iti samcintya hanumāms tadā plavagasattamah, darśayām āsa vaidehyāh svarūpam arimardanah/sa tasmāt pādapād dhīmān āplutya plavagarsabhah, tato vardhitum ārebhe sītāpratyayakāranāt/ merumandārasamkāśo babhau dīptānalaprabhaḥ, agrato vyavatasthe ca sītāyā vānararşabhaḥ/ hariḥ parvatasamkāśas tāmravaktro mahābalaḥ, vajradamṣṭranakho bhīmo vaidehīm idam abravīt/ saparvatavanoddeśām sāṭṭaprākāratoraṇām, lankām imām sanathām vā nayitum śaktir asti me/ tad avasthāpya tām buddhir alam devi vikānksayā, viśokam kuru vaidehi rāghavam sahalakşmaṇam/ tam dṛṣṭvācalasamkāśam uvāca janakātmajā, padmapatraviśālākṣī mārutasyaurasam sutam/ tava sattvam balam caiva vijānāmi mahākape, vāyor iva gatim cāpi tejas cāgnir ivādbhutam/ prākrto 'nyah katham cemām bhūmim āgantum arhati, udadher aprameyasya pāram vānarapumgava/ jānāmi gamane śaktim nayane cāpi te mama, avaśyam sāmpradhāryāśu kāryasiddhir ihātmanah/ ayuktam tu kapiśrestha mayā gantum tvayā saha, vāyuvegasavegasya vego mām mohayet tava/ aham ākāśam āsaktā upary upari sāgaram, prapateyam hi te prsthād bhayād vegena gacchatah/ patitā sāgare cāham timinakrajhasākule, bhavevam āśu vivaśā vādasām annam uttamam/ na ca śaksve tvavā sārdham gantum śatruvināśana, kalatravati samdehas tvayy api syād asamśayam/ hriyamāṇām tu mām dṛṣṭvā rākṣasā bhīmavikramāḥ, anugaccheyur ādiṣṭā rāvaṇena durātmanā/ tais tvam parivṛtaḥ śūraiḥ śūlam udgara pānibhih, bhaves tvam samśayam prāpto mayā vīra kalatravān/ sāyudhā bahavo vyomni rāksasās tvam nirāyudhah, katham śaksyasi samyātum mām caiva pariraksitum/ yudhyamānasya raksobhis tatas taiḥ krūrakarmabhiḥ, prapateyam hi te pṛṣṭhad bhayārtā kapisattama/ atha rakṣāmsi bhīmāni mahānti balavanti ca, katham cit sāmparāye tvām jayeyuh kapisattama/ samīkṣya tam samyati citrakārmukam; mahābalam vāsavatulyavikramam, salakṣmaṇam ko viṣaheta rāghavam; hutāśanam dīptam ivānileritam/ salakşmanam rāghavam ājimardanam; diśāgajam mattam iva vyavasthitam, saheta ko vānaramukhya samyuge; yugāntasūryapratimam śarārciṣam/ sa me hariśreṣṭha salakṣmaṇam patim; sayūthapam ksipram ihopapādaya, cirāya rāmam prati śokakarśitām; kurusva mām vānaramukhya harsitām/

Having heard Hanuman's assurances of the arrivals of Rama Lakshmanas at the earlieast, Devi Sita was somewhat pacified and addressed Hanuman as follows: Vanara shreshtha! Your assertions that Rama was

not thoughtful of anything else than of me are like drops of 'amrita', yet in the present poisonous state of mine. This reminds me of a situation when a human being at the precipice of a deep drench is pulled off from strong chains of iron to a safety haven. Vanara shiromani! The impact of destiny is beyond human control. Take the instance of Lakshmana, myself and of Shri Rama; what type of situations that we have been exposed to! As one is thrown off from a safe boat into the deep depths of an ocean, is it possible to continue swimming be the bare hands for long! rākṣasānām kṣayam kṛtvā sūdayitvā ca rāvaṇam, lankām unmūlitām krtvā kadā draksyati mām patih/ sa vācyah samtvarasveti yāvad eva na pūryate, ayam samvatsarah kālas tāvad dhi mama jīvitam/ vartate dasamo māso dvau tu sesau plavamgama, rāvanena nrśamsena samayo yah krto mama/ When indeed could I ever vision in my life time the stages of Raakshasa Vadha, Ravana samhaara, Lankapuri vidhvamsha, and finally my union with Shri Rama are mere illusions or realities! Go away at the earliest, Hanuman. I hope that I should be able to keep my life ticking till my ambitions and dreams are not falsified. This is the tenth month and Ravanasura granted me an extension of my life for two months more! [Recall Sarga Twenty two above: dvau māsau rakṣitavyau me vo 'vadhis te mayā krtah, tatah śayanam āroha mama tyam varayarnini/ dyābhyām ūrdhyam tu māsābhyām bhartāram mām anicchatīm, mama tvām prātarāśārtham ārabhante mahānase/ Maha Ravana further threatened Devi Sita: 'Sundari! I am now declaring to you a reasonable time of two months to you to reconcile and surrender and creep into my bed. Otherwise, do mark my words, I would have despatched your dead body to the royal kitchen to have mince it to pieces for cooking!'] Ravanaasura's younger brother Vibhishana entreated him to please return me back, but he went off to deaf ears. Vibhishana's eldest daughter named Kala Devi and accompanied by her mother came to me and conveyed that the ever arrogant Ravana never heeded Vibhishana's request too. Another Rakshasa named Avindhya who was a buddhhiman, vidyaann and Rayana sammaana too never heeded the advice. Kapishreshtha! My single hope and aspiration still lingers in my remote psyche that Rama would arrive, but how soon! Shri Rama is instictively enthusiastic, ever pursant of purushaardhas of dharma-arthakaamaas, brave, kind, forgiving, ever grateful, and knowledgeable. I recall that having asked Lakshmana to ensure my safety, fought single handed over fourteen thousand maha rakshasaas: tell me is there any other example of heroism. Shri Ramachandra is truly and emphatically a 'purusha shreshtha', and facilitates and vindicates himself by withstanding the hardest possible challenges of life. Kapivara! He is similar to Bhagavan Surya as his arrows could reach any where like Surya Kiranas, which the deep waters of Raakshasaas could get dried up sooner or later!' As Devi Sita was introspecting and giving expressions to her innermost thoughts, while seeking to supress her tears, Veera Hanuman said: Devi! brace up your self for now as it would not be two far away that Shri Rama along with with multitudes of Vaanara-Bear Veeras many of whom are celestials born exclusively for the purpose of dharma rakshana and possible assistance to Shri Rama. Athavaa mochayishyaami tvaavadhyava sarakshasaat,asmaad duhkhaadupaaroha mama prishthamanindite! In case, you wish to get rid of all this torments of raakshasas, please trust me as I could comfortably be carried on my back! I would then cross the Maha Sagara; or else, I do possess the physical energy to destroy the entire 'Lanka Saamrajya' in one go. Then, Mithileshwari, I should be able to reach Shri Rama seated atop on 'prasnavanagiri'; this would then be like Agni Deva would carry the havish to Indra Deva well in tact. Devi, do kindly be seated on my back and pious mission should be like Devi Rohini reaching Chandra. If I carry you on my back the entire Lankaavaassa rakshasaas would only stare, be not possible to chase me and might perhaps be able to survive.' As Hanuman was pondering thus, Devi Sita responded thus: Vaanarayudhapati Hanuman! How could you carry me all the way; is this not a typical chapala buddhi of a typical Vaanara!' Anjaneya replied: Devi, you are not aware of my capabilities; I can change my form as per your choice. My body could be transformed like meru parvata; I have the ability to carry Lankapuri with Ravana there inside'. Then Devi Sita stated: yes, Vanara Pramukha! I do understand by now as to what and who you truly are! Can I not appreciate that you are truly born with Almighty's own blessings. But, ayuktam tu kapiśrestha mayā gantum tvayā saha, vāyuvegasavegasya vego mām mohayet tava/ aham ākāśam āsaktā upary upari sāgaram, prapatevam hi te prsthād bhayād vegena gacchatah/ patitā sāgare cāham timinakrajhasākule, bhayeyam āśu vivaśā yādasām annam uttamam/ Kapi Shreshtha! my leaving away on your back is most improper and unthinkable for multiple reasons; your speed is unthinkble and I might swoon out of fear of

life and fall down right into the depths of the Maha Sagara and become a tasty food to the huge fishes or crocodiles. As a vanara taking a woman on the back and flying away would be the hot topic for Lankaapuri residentas. Ravana would atonce command maayaavi rakshasaas who too could fly as well. Then a battle between them and you would break up and in the process there are several chances of my falling down into the ocean any way from your back. God forbid, if you are hurt even by some remote chance, my survival could be a myth, anyway. Kamam tvamapi paryaapto nihantum sarva raakshasaam Raaghavasya yasho heeyet tvayaa shastaistu raakshasai/ Even presuming that you could devastate the totality of rakshasaas, what indeed would happen to Rama's fame and glory of invincibility! The world would opine Rama's inability to free and rescue Devi Sita, his own better half! Aarambhastu madathoryam tatastva nirarthakah, tvaayaahi saha Raamasya mahaanaagamane gunah/ Mayti jeevitamaayattam Raaghavasyamitoujasah, bhraatrunaam cha mahabaho tava rajakulasya cha/ What all your persistend efforts thay you have made so far could be fruitless and might back fire for no reason. However in case Shri Rama himself as accompanied by mighy Lakshmana and all the strength of Maha Vanaras were to enter the scene, that should indeed be a true battle of Dharma and Adharma! I do repose my full faith and self assurance that the 'amita parakrami' Raghunadha along with Lakshmana followed by King Sugriva and the enormous Vanara sena should very soon arrive. Yet, there is another significant reason is that from the viewpoint of Pativtathya pavitrata, I would not dare touch another purusha excepting Shri Rama. [If Ravana did so, he should have done so at his own peril!] Hence, it is most appropriate that Shri Rama himself should destroy the mahasura Ravana. I have heard that as Shri Rama decides to confront even Deva-Gandharva-Naga-Raakshasaas were united against him, he would still be invincible.On the battle front, he and Lakshmana are like a combine of Vayu Deva and Agni Deva! Salakshanam raghavaajimaadanam; diśāgajam mattam iva vyavasthitam, saheta ko vānaramukhya samyuge; yugāntasūryapratimam śarārcisam/ sa me hariśrestha salaksmanam patim; sayūthapam ksipram ihopapādaya, cirāya rāmam prati śokakarśitām; kurusva mām vānaramukhya harsitām/ Hence, Vanarashiromani! Trust me that on the battle front who indeed could face Rama Lakshmanas as truly they are like the two mammoth diggajas, ney, pralaya kaala Suryas. Therefore, Vanara shreshtha Maha Veerya Anjaneya! Do very kindly move with all your tempo and rapidity as aided by Vayu Deva and reach King Sugriva and Rama Lalshmanas at once.

SargaThirty Eight

Before handing over her 'choodaamani' to Hanuman, Devi Sita recalled how Rama expressed his concern by using 'brahmaastra' on a crow- Indra's son- pestered her; the crow went from pillar to post and fell at Rama's feet; though Rama pardoned, still had to block any crows's vision of left eye eversince!

Tataḥ sa kapiśārdūlas tena vākyena harṣitaḥ, sītām uvāca tac chrutvā vākyaṁ vākyaviśāradaḥ/ yuktarūpam tvayā devi bhāṣitam śubhadarśane, sadṛśam strīsvabhāvasya sādhvīnām vinayasya ca/ strītvam na tu samartham hi sāgaram vyativartitum, mām adhisthāya vistīrnam śatayojanam āyatam/ dvitīvam kāranam vac ca bravīsi vinavānvite, rāmād anvasva nārhāmi samsparsam iti jānaki/ etat te devi sadṛśam patnyās tasya mahātmanaḥ, kā hy anyā tvām ṛte devi brūyād vacanam īdṛśam/ śroṣyate caiva kākutsthah sarvam niravaśesatah, cestitam yat tvayā devi bhāsitam mama cāgratah/ kāranair bahubhir devi rāma priyacikīrsayā, snehapraskannamanasā mayaitat samudīritam/ lankāyā duspravesatvād dustaratvān mahodadheh, sāmarthyād ātmanaś caiva mayaitat samudāhṛtam/ icchāmi tvām samānetum adyaiva raghubandhunā, gurusnehena bhaktyā ca nānyathā tad udāhṛtam/ yadi notsahase yātum mayā sārdham anindite, abhijñānam prayaccha tvam jānīyād rāghavo hi yat/ evam uktā hanumatā sītā surasutopamā, uvāca vacanam mandam bāṣpapragrathitākṣaram/ idam śreṣṭham abhijñānam brūyās tvam tu mama priyam, śailasya citrakūṭasya pāde pūrvottare tadā/tāpasāśramavāsinyāḥ prājyamūlaphalodake, tasmin siddhāśrame deśe mandākinyā adūratah/ tasyopavanasandesu nānāpuspasugandhisu, vihrtya salilaklinnā tavānke samupāviśam, paryāyena prasuptaś ca mamānke bharatāgrajaḥ/ tato māmsasamāyukto vāyasaḥ paryatuṇḍayat, tam aham loṣṭam udyamya vārayāmi sma vāvasam/ dārayan sa ca mām kākas tatraiva parilīvate, na cāpy uparaman māmsād

bhaksārthī,balibhojanah/ utkarsantyām ca raśanām kruddhāyām mayi paksine, sramsamāne ca vasane tato drstā tvayā hy aham/ tvayā vihasitā cāham kruddhā samlajjitā tadā,ksya grddhena kālena dāritā tvām upāgatā/ āsīnasya ca te śrāntā punar utsangam āviśam, krudhyantī ca prahṛṣṭena tvayāham parisāntvitā/ bāspapūrņamukhī mandam cakṣuṣī parimārjatī, lakṣitāham tvayā nātha vāyasena prakopitā/āśīvisa iva kruddhah śvasān vākvam abhāsathāh, kena te nāganāsoru viksatam vai stanāntaram, kaḥ krīḍati saroṣeṇa pañcavaktreṇa bhoginā/ vīkṣamāṇas tatas taṁ vai vāyasaṁ samavaikṣathāḥ, nakhaiḥ sarudhirais tīkṣṇair mām evābhimukham sthitam/ta putraḥ kila sa śakrasya vāvasah patatām varah, dharāntaracarah śīghram pavanasya gatau samah/ tatas tasmin mahābāhuh kopasamvartiteksanah, vāyase krtavān krūrām matim matimatām vara/ sa darbhasamstarād grhya brahmaņo 'streņa yojayaḥ, sa dīpta iva kālāgnir jajvālābhimukho dvijam/ cikṣepitha pradīptām tām isīkām vāyasam prati, anusṛstas tadā kālo jagāma vividhām gatim, trānakāma imam lokam sarvam vai vicacāra ha/ sa pitrā ca parityaktah suraih sarvair maharsibhih, trīml lokān samparikramya tvām eva śaraṇam gataḥ/ tam tvam nipatitam bhūmau śaraṇyah śaraṇāgatam, vadhārham api kākutstha kṛpayā parvapālavah, na śarma labdhvā lokesu tvām eva śaranam gatah/ paridvūnam visannam ca sa tvam āvāntam uktavān, mogham kartum na śakvam tu brāhmam astram tad ucvatām, tatas tasvāksi kākasva hinasti sma sa dakṣiṇam/ sa te tadā namaskṛtvā rājñe daśarathāya ca, tvayā vīra visṛṣṭas tu pratipede svam ālayam/ matkrte kākamātre 'pi brahmāstram samudīritam, kasmād yo mām harat tvattaḥ kṣamase tam mahīpate/ sa kurusva mahotsāham kṛpām mayi nararsabha, ānṛśamsyam paro dharmas tvatta eva mayā śrutah/ jānāmi tvām mahāvīryam mahotsāham mahābalam, apārapāram aksobhyam gāmbhīryāt sāgaropamam, bhartāram sasamudrāyā dharaṇyā vāsavopamam/ evam astravidām śreṣṭhaḥ sattvavān balavān api, kimartham astram rakṣaḥsu na yojayasi rāghava/ na nāgā nāpi gandharvā nāsurā na marudgaṇāḥ, rāmasya samare vegam śaktāḥ prati samādhitum/ tasyā vīryavataḥ kaś cid yady asti mayi sambhramah, kimartham na śarais tīksnaih ksayam nayati rāksasān/ bhrātur ādeśam ādāya laksmano vā paramtapah, kasya hetor na mām vīrah paritrāti mahābalah/ yadi tau purusavyāghrau vāyvindrasamatejasau, surānām api durdharso kimartham mām upeksatah/ mamaiva duskṛtam kim cin mahad asti na samsayah, samarthāv api tau yan mām nāveksete paramtapau/ kausalyā lokabhartāram suṣuve yam manasvinī, tam mamārthe sukham pṛccha śirasā cābhivādaya/ srajaś ca sarvaratnāni privā vāś ca varānganāh, aiśvaryam ca viśālāyām prthiyyām api durlabham/ pitaram mātaram caiya sammānyābhiprasādva ca, anupravrajito rāmam sumitrā vena suprajāh, ānukūlvena dharmātmā tvaktvā sukham anuttamam/ anugacchati kākutstham bhrātaram pālayan vane, simhaskandho mahābāhur manasvī priyadarśanah/ pitrvad vartate rāme mātrvan mām samācaran, hriyamānām tadā vīro na tu mām veda laksmanah/vrddhopasevī laksmīvāñ śakto na bahubhāsitā, rājaputrah priyaśresthah sadršah śvaśurasya me/ mattah priyataro nityam bhrātā rāmasya laksmanah, niyukto dhuri yasyām tu tām udvahati vīryavān/ yam dṛstvā rāghavo naiva vṛddham āryam anusmarat, sa mamārthāya kuśalam vaktavyo vacanān mama, mṛdur nityam śucir dakṣaḥ priyo rāmasya lakṣmaṇaḥ/ idam brūyāś ca me nātham śūram rāmam punaḥ punaḥ, jīvitam dhārayiṣyāmi māsam daśarathātmaja, ūrdhvam māsān na jīveyam satyenāham bravīmi te/rāvaņenoparuddhām mām nikṛtyā pāpakarmaṇā, trātum arhasi vīra tvam pātālād iva kauśikīm/ tato vastragatam muktvā divvam cūdāmanim subham, pradevo rāghavāveti sītā hanumate dadau/ pratigrhya tato vīro maniratnam anuttamam, angulyā vojavām āsa na hy asyā prābhavad bhujaḥ/ maṇiratnam kapivaraḥ pratigrhyābhivādya ca, sītām pradakṣiṇam krtvā praṇataḥ pārśvatah sthitah/ harsena mahatā yuktah sītādarśanajena sah, hṛdayena gato rāmam śarīrena tu vişthitah/ manivaram upagrhya tam mahārham; janakanrpātmajayā dhṛtam prabhāvāt, girivarapavanāvadhūtamuktah; sukhitamanāh pratisamkramam prapede/

As Devi Sita convinced citing her reasonings against Hanuman's proposal to lift her on his back and fly down to reach where Rama Lakshmanas stayed on the prastravana mountain top, Hanuman conceded and decided to return as earliest as possible. Hanuman agreed that neither Devi Sita was able to cling to Hanuman's back all the while crossing the long distance and duration with her frail figure and speed, rough and windy weather, nor her pativratya in touching and embracing another male would allow, and most essentially Rama's own fame and the need for his personal presence. Hanuman then stated that he would truthfully convey to Rama of the various reasons that she was not willing to accompany me

convincingly. Then Devi Sita in a hush hush tone nartated: 'Vanara shreshtha! Please do remind Shri Rama an interesting incident when we were together at the top of Chitrakuta parvata where the holy Mandakini was flowing thereunder; after our 'jala vihara' of swimming together, we entered a flower and fruit garden and were resting. Rama was relaxing with his closed eyes on my folded legs, as I was seated comfortably. Then a crow with a piece of meat started hitting me and I tried my best to shove it off but the bird was hitting my face repeatedly. I got angered and wished to hit it but I never wished to disturb Rama's rest. Then the naughty bird tried to pull out my 'mangala sutra' around my neck. Then the bird kept on hitting my nose, cheeks, lips and ears. Then it sat on my thighs. With these successive attacks of the bird, I started crying and the tears fell down on Rama's face. He shouted: what is the matter and got up! Instantly the bird attacked on my breasts. Then there were scratches and drops of blood. Rama shouted: āśīvisa iva kruddhah śvasān vākyam abhāsathāh, kena te nāganāsoru viksatam vai stanāntaram, kah krīdati sarosena pañcavaktrena bhoginā/ vīksamānas tatas tam vai vāyasam samayaiksathāh, nakhaih sarudhirais tīksnair mām evābhimukham sthitam/ The ever composed Shri Rama then went in white rage swaying to and fro like a maha sarpa shouted: 'who has done this!'It looked as though somebody was wantonly doing this by playing with this obnoxious creature!' Then the angry Rama found a nasty crow; a celestial whisper was heard. ta putrah kila sa śakrasya vāyasah patatām varah, dharāntaracarah śīghram pavanasya gatau samah/ tatas tasmin mahābāhuh kopasamvartiteksanah, vāvase krtavān krūrām matim matimatām vara/ sa darbhasamstarād grhva brahmano 'strena yojayah, sa dīpta iva kālāgnir jajvālābhimukho dvijam/ This crow is the mischievous son of Lord Indra! The bird's flying speed is of Vayu Deva himself. It has escaped from swarga to earth. Then the totally worked up Shri Rama had mentally resolved to punish the crow irrevocably. He removed a 'darbha' from the dried mat as was being rested on and whispered the 'brahmastra mantra' while the straw assumed emitting gigantic flames and chased the crow. ciksepitha pradīptām tām isīkām vāyasam prati, anusṛstas tadā kālo jagāma vividhām gatim, trānakāma imam lokam sarvam vai vicacāra ha/ sa pitrā ca parityaktah suraih sarvair maharsibhih, trīml lokān samparikramya tvām eva saranam gatah/ tam tvam nipatitam bhūmau śaranyah śaranāgatam, vadhārham api kākutstha kṛpayā paryapālayah, na śarma labdhvā lokeşu tvām eva śaraṇam gataḥ/ As Rama released the 'brahmastra', the nasty crow ran in a race with alarming speed and fright, but the straw like arrow chased and chased from one loka to another, Ultimately it fell down half dead at the feet of Rama, Raghunadha the well popular 'sharanaagata vatsala'did take pity. But: Brahmaastra could never be a failure and has to obey the command of the User, who in this case Rama himself. paridyūnam visannam ca sa tvam āyāntam uktavān, mogham kartum na śakyam tu brāhmam astram tad ucyatām, tatas tasyāksi kākasya hinasti sma sa daksinam/ sa te tadā namaskrtvā rājñe daśarathāya ca, tvayā vīra visrstas tu pratipede svam ālayam/ matkrte kākamātre 'pi brahmāstram samudīritam, kasmād yo mām harat tvattah ksamase tam mahīpate/ sa kurusva mahotsāham kṛpām mayi nararṣabha, ānṛśamsyam paro dharmas tvatta eva mayā śrutah/ As the crow's was tired so much as is nearing death, Rama no doubt wished to pardon it but brahmastra ought to take its toll; therefore he allowed a crow to see only with its left eye eversince! Thus Devi Sita recalled the inimitable love for her and continued her narration to Hanuman; she asked Veera Hanuman and asked him to convey to Shri Rama as follows: 'Praana naadha! Prithvi pate! Even for such negligible misdemenaor of a crow on me you utilised brahmastra, how is it that yo have not appreared me for months now! Is Sita considered by you an 'anaatha'! I learnt from you only that to be kind to others is a parama dharma. I am fully aware of your bravery and grit and is truly limitless. Raghunandana! Even being a symbol of profoundness and uprightness, yet why are you reluctant to utilise your shakti against Ravana and his followers! bhrātur ādeśam ādāya lakṣmaṇo vā paramtapaḥ, kasya hetor na mām vīraḥ paritrāti mahābalaḥ/ yadi tau puruṣavyāghrau vāyvindrasamatejasau, surāṇām api durdharṣo kimartham mām upekṣataḥ/ mamaiva duṣkṛtaṁ kiṁ cin mahad asti na saṁśayaḥ, samarthāv api tau yan māṁ nāveksete paramtapau/ Why does not Lakshmana atleast Lakshmana follow his elder brother's instruction even being an evemy hunter! Both the brothers are nodoubt heros of fame and chivalry; why are both of them neglecting me for months like this, and are totally neglecting me in this way.!' Then Hanuman replied: 'Devi! I would swear in the name of Truthfulness that Shri Rama is missing you every minute and have ceased to take any inclination to carry out even his daily routines and is ever lost in your own

memories; and so does veere Lakshmana too, but are still unaware of where are you and of which kind of difficulties that you must be undergoing. Once they come to know this, they would uproot the name and very existence of asuras where ever they be. I am assuring you repeatedly that no sooner they get even an inkling of your byeing here, than they are replete with seething anger and revenge on Ravana and his clan. Now, do kindly give me your message as I am about to beg of yout leave.' Then Devi Sita addressed Hanuman as follows: 'Kapi shreshtha! As Devi Kousalya gave birth to Sampuran Jagat Swami Shri Rama, do kindly let my earvest prostrations to him and convey to him of me survival and place of m sufferance. Beyond this what else could I explain for you to convey to dearmost Shri Rama, and his dauntless and ever faithful and devoted Swami Lakshmana too. As per my heartfelt appeal to both of them, kindly concey my desperation well before thay I do still survive and not yet perish. What else could I convey to them! Vanarayudhapati Anjana putra! What else further could I convey! You having seen for yourself a full account of my current state of affairs, ever own descriptive capability needs to be realised with clarity and realism. Now this is wholly dependent on you to hasten Rama Lakshmanas to convince. idam brūyās ca me nātham sūram rāmam punah punah, jīvitam dhārayisyāmi māsam dasarathātmaja, ūrdhvam māsān na jīvevam satvenāham bravīmi te/rāvanenoparuddhām mām nikrtvā pāpakarmanā, trātum arhasi vīra tvam pātālād iva kauśikīm/Mahaanjaneya! Very kindly emphasise this to Bhagavan Shri Rama that Ravana had imposed my life time for the said duration of prescribed months, and there after it should be like pouring fragrances on by dead body's ashes. Veera! The most sinful Ravana has crully imprisoned me and the cruel rakshasis desirous of a ripe feminine human flesh are ready to pounce on me and throttle my neck any moment'. tato vastragatam muktvā divyam cūdāmanim śubham, pradeyo rāghavāyeti sītā hanumate dadau/pratigrhya tato vīro maņiratnam anuttamam, angulyā yojayām āsa na hy asyā prābhavad bhujah/ maṇiratnam kapivaraḥ pratigṛhyābhivādya ca, sītām pradakṣiṇam kṛtvā pranatah pārśvatah sthitah/ Thus having given her final message to Anjaneya before his leaving her, Parama saadhvi Devi Sita opened up the knots of her dirty upperworn garment and pulled out a magnificent 'choodamani' or sparkling golden hair clip and handed it over to Veera Hanuman as a memory reviver. Then having taken the same, Anjaneya tried to wear it on his finger, but the miniature form of his body did not readily fit in as he had to adjust his body form accordingly. There after he performed a venerable 'pradakshina' of Devi Sita and srood befire her with reverence and esteem. harsena mahatā yuktah sītādarsanajena sah, hrdayena gato rāmam sarīrena tu visthitah/maniyaram upagrhya tam mahārham; janakanṛpātmajayā dhṛtam prabhāvāt, girivara -pavanāvadhūtamuktaḥ; sukhitamanāḥ pratisamkramam prapede/ As Janaka putri who had been carefully and cautiously preserving all the time during her imprisonment handed over the precious gift to Veera Hanuman, he was truly thrilled as if his sweet dream of 'Sitaanveshana' had thus been fulfilled as dream come true!

Sarga Thirty Nine

Having taken the possession of precious Sita 'Choodaamani'as a proof of meeting her, Hanuman felt elated to display his grit, devotion and resolution to all concerned, especially to the delight of Rama!

Maṇim dattvā tataḥ sītā hanūmantam athābravīt, abhijñānam abhijñātam etad rāmasya tattvataḥ/maṇim tu dṛṣṭvā rāmo vai trayāṇām saṃsmariṣyati, vīro jananyā mama ca rājño daśarathasya ca/ sa bhūyas tvam samutsāhe codito harisattama, asmin kāryasamārambhe pracintaya yaduttaram/ tvam asmin kāryaniryoge pramāṇam harisattama, tasya cintaya yo yatno duḥkhakṣayakaro bhavet/ sa tatheti pratijñāya mārutir bhīmavikramaḥ, śirasāvandya vaidehīm gamanāyopacakrame/ jñātvā saṃprasthitam devī vānaram mārutātmajam, bāṣpagadgadayā vācā maithilī vākyam abravīt/ kuśalam hanuman brūyāḥ sahitau rāmalakṣmaṇau, sugrīvam ca sahāmātyam vṛddhān sarvāmś ca vānarān/ yathā ca sa mahābāhur mām tārayati rāghavaḥ, asmād duḥkhāmbusamrodhāt tvam samādhātum arhasi/ jīvantīm mām yathā rāmaḥ saṃbhāvayati kīrtimān, tat tvayā hanuman vācyam vācā dharmam avāpnuhi/ nityam utsāhayuktāś ca vācaḥ śrutvā mayeritāḥ,vardhiṣyate dāśaratheḥ pauruṣam madavāptaye/matsamdeśayutā vācas tvattaḥ śrutvaiva rāghavaḥ, parākramavidhim vīro vidhivat samvidhāsyati/ sītāyās tad vacaḥ śrutvā hanumān mārutātmajah, śirasy añjalim ādhāva vākyamuttaramabraveet/ ksipram esvati kākutstho

haryrksapravarair vrtah, yas te yudhi vijityārīñ śokam vyapanayisyati/ na hi paśyāmi martyesu nāmaresv asureșu vā, yas tasya vamato bāṇān sthātum utsahate 'grataḥ/ apy arkam api parjanyam api vaivasvatam yamam, sa hi sodhum rane śaktas tavahetor viśesatah/ sa hi sāgaraparyantām mahīm śāsitum īhate, tvan nimitto hi rāmasya jayo janakanandini/ tasya tadvacanam śrutvā samyak satyam subhāṣitam, jānakī bahu mene 'tha vacanam cedam abravīt/ tatas tam prasthitam sītā vīksamānā punah punah, bhartuh snehānvitam vākyam sauhārdād anumānayat/ yadi vā manyase vīra vasaikāham arimdama, kasmims cit samvrte deśe viśrāntah śvo gamisyasi/ mama ced alpabhāgyāyāh sāmnidhyāt tava vīryavān, asya śokasya mahato muhūrtam mokṣaṇam bhavet/ gate hi hariśārdūla punarāgamanāya tu, prāṇānām api samdeho mama syān nātra samsayah/ tavādarsanajah soko bhūyo mām paritāpayet, duhkhād duhkhaparāmrstām dīpayann iva vānara/ ayam ca vīra samdehas tisthatīva mamāgratah, sumahāms tvatsahāyesu harvṛksesu harīśvara/katham nu khalu duspāram tarisyanti mahodadhim, tāni haryṛksasainyāni tau vā naravarātmajau/ trayānām eva bhūtānām sāgarasyeha laṅghane, śaktih syād vainateyasya tava vā mārutasya vā/ tad asmin kāryaniryoge vīraivam duratikrame, kim paśyasi samādhānam tvam hi kāryavidām varaļ/ kāmam asya tvam evaikaļ kāryasya parisādhane, paryāptaļ paravīraghna yaśasyas te balodayah/balaih samagrair yadi mām rāyanam jitya samyuge, vijayī syapuram yāyāt tat tu me syād yaśaskaram/ balais tu samkulām krtvā lankām parabalārdanah, mām nayed yadi kākutsthas tat tasya sadṛśam bhavet/ tad yathā tasya vikrāntam anurūpam mahātmanaḥ, bhaved āhava śūrasya tathā tvam upapādaya/ tad arthopahitam vākyam sahitam hetusamhitam, niśamya hanumāñ śesam vākyam uttaram abravīt/ devi haryṛksasainyānām īśvarah plavatām varah, sugrīvah sattvasampannas tavārthe kṛtaniścayaḥ/ sa vānarasahasrāṇām koṭībhir abhisamvṛtaḥ, kṣipram eṣyati vaidehi rākṣasānām nibarhaṇaḥ/ tasya vikramasampannāḥ sattvavanto mahābalāḥ, manaḥsamkalpasampātā nideśe harayaḥ sthitāḥ/ yeṣām nopari nādhastān na tiryak sajjate gatiḥ, na ca karmasu sīdanti mahatsv amitatejasaḥ/ asakṛt tair mahotsahaiḥ sasāgaradharādharā, pradakṣiṇīkṛtā bhūmir vāyumārgānusāribhiḥ/ madviśiṣṭāś ca tulyāś ca santi tatra vanaukasah, mattah pratyavarah kaś cin nāsti sugrīvasamnidhau/ aham tāvad iha prāptah kim punas te mahābalāh, na hi prakṛstāh presyante presyante hītare janāh/ tad alam paritāpena devi śoko vyapaitu te, ekotpātena te lankām esyanti hariyūthapāh/ mama pṛsthagatau tau ca candrasūryāv ivoditau, tvatsakāśam mahāsattvau nṛṣimhāv āgamiṣyataḥ/ tau hi vīrau naravarau sahitau rāmalaksmanau, āgamya nagarīm lankām sāvakair vidhamisyatah/ saganam rāvanam hatvā rāghavo raghunandanah, tvām ādāya varārohe svapuram prativāsvati/ tad āśvasihi bhadram te bhava tvam kālakānkṣiṇī, nacirād drakṣyase rāmam prajvajantam ivānilam/ nihate rākṣasendre ca saputrāmātyabāndhave,tvam samesyasi rāmena śaśānkeneva rohinī/ ksipram tvam devi śokasya pāram yāsyasi maithili, rāvanam caiva rāmena nihatam draksyase 'cirāt/ evam āśvasya vaidehīm hanūmān mārutātmajah, gamanāya matim krtvā vaidehīm punar abravīt/ tam arighnam krtātmānam ksipram draksyasi rāghavam, laksmanam ca dhanuspānim lankādvāram upasthitam/ nakhadamstrāyudhān vīrān simhaśārdūlavikramān, vānarān vāraņendrābhān kṣipram drakṣyasi samgatān/ śailāmbudanikāśānām lankāmalayasānusu,nardatām kapimukhyānām ārye yūthāny anekasah/ sa tu marmani ghorena tāḍito manmatheṣuṇā, na śarma labhate rāmaḥ simhārdita iva dvipaḥ/ mā rudo devi śokena mā bhūt te manaso 'privam, śacīva pathyā śakrena bhartrā nāthavatī hy asi/ rāmād viśistah ko 'nyo 'sti kaś cit saumitrinā samah, agnimārutakalpau tau bhrātarau tava samśrayau /nāsmimś ciram vatsyasi devi deśe; raksoganair adhyuşito 'tiraudre, na te cirād āgamanam priyasya; kṣamasva matsamgamakālamātram/

Having taken possession of Devi Sita's 'choodaamani' Hanuman resuured himself that Shri Rama should most certainly trust that I had 'Sita darshana and sambhaashana.' Then Devi Sita asked Hanuman as to what he would be his 'takshana kartavya' or the next step of his. She re-emphasised: Vanara shiromani! Do swear, reiterate my desperate relief and make the best possible of our exchange of views; then Anjaneya with all the courtesy at his command for the Devi nodded his head thoughtfully. She further said in low tone in broken words with suppressed anguish: kuśalam hanuman brūyāḥ sahitau rāmalakṣmaṇau, sugrīvam ca sahāmātyam vṛddhān sarvāmś ca vānarām/ yathā ca sa mahābāhur mām tārayati rāghavaḥ, asmād duḥkhāmbusamrodhāt tvam samādhātum arhasi/ jīvantīm mām yathā rāmaḥ sambhāvayati kīrtimān, tat tvayā hanuman vācyam vācā dharmam avāpnuhi/Hanuman! Please do convey that I am still existing and expect do so further with rays of hopes. Also convey this to Sugriva and

various other vaanara veeraas. Shri Rama should get to action at once as I am sinking further deeper and deeper. Please request Rama Lakshmanas to initiate action plans and save me before my time. May you be blessed to sustain and hasten the process of 'dharmaacharana' that you have taken up with grit and perseverance to its logical suucess. Hopefully, by your convincing capacity and persuasion, Rahunatha might become dutiful.' As Deci Sita was making requests to Hanuman, he replied: ksipram esvati kākutstho haryṛkṣapravarair vṛtaḥ, yas te yudhi vijityārīñ śokam vyapanayiṣyati/ na hi paśyāmi martyeṣu nāmareṣv asureṣu vā, yas tasya vamato bāṇān sthātum utsahate 'grataḥ/ apy arkam api parjanyam api vaivasvatam vamam, sa hi sodhum rane śaktas tavahetor viśesatah/ sa hi sāgaraparvantām mahīm śāsitum īhate, tvan nimitto hi rāmasya jayo janakanandini/Devi! Rama who should very soon arrive here accompanied by the multitudes of Vanaras and bhaalus with the singular decisiveness of success. Never in my life, had ever seen how Rama rains uninterrupted releases of arrows. In his battles, even Surya-Indra- or Yama Raja would be truly dazed unparalleled. Janaka nandini! As one witnesses his composure and authoritative finality assures me again and again that triumph is well within your reach' As Hanuman has repeatedly assured Devi Sita, she got overwhelmed and still desired to say something once again. yadi vā manyase vīra vasaikāham arimdama, kasmims cit samvrte dese visrāntah svo gamisvasi/ mama ced alpabhāgyāyāḥ sāmnidhyāt tava vīryavān, asya śokasya mahato muhūrtam mokṣaṇam bhavet/ gate hi hariśārdūla punarāgamanāya tu, prāṇānām api samdeho mama syān nātra samśayaḥ/ She said endearingly: Pavan Kumara, in case, you are tired right now, do defer your return from Lanka tomorrow and keep yourself secretly and safely with ample rest. I am a mandabhagini any way, and for my sake. If you were to take a hasty step by any mischance, then I might have to experience redoubled anguish which would keep tormenting me further. For instance, I keep wondering as to how such massive Vananarabhalluka sena could cross this huge ocean! trayānām eva bhūtānām sāgarasveha langhane, śaktih syād vainateyasya tava vā mārutasya vā/ tad asmin kāryaniryoge vīraivam duratikrame, kim paśyasi samādhānam tvam hi kāryavidām varah/kāmam asya tvam evaikah kāryasya parisādhane, paryāptah paravīraghna vasasvas te balodavah/To my limited knowledge, in the entire universe there are only distinguished personalities viz. you, Garuda deva and Vayu deva. Veera! The very task of crossing this Maha Samudra appears impossible for the millons of Rama Sena defying my comprehension. Veera Hanuman, despite such apprehensions of mine in my extremely limited imagination, your repeated assurances do soothen my inner confidence and trust in you that hopes of victory loom large on my otherwise dark and long nights of my mental horizon. balaiḥ samagrair yadi mām rāvaṇam jitya samyuge, vijayī svapuram yāyāt tat tu me syād yaśaskaram/ balais tu samkulām krtvā lankām parabalārdanah, mām nayed yadi kākutsthas tat tasya sadršam bhavet/ tad yathā tasya vikrāntam anurūpam mahātmanah, bhaved āhava śūrasya tathā tvam upapādaya/ What a sweet dream, Veeranjaneya! That Shri Raghu Rama would walk in with his army of Vanaras, destroy Ravana and the rakshasaas, declare victory of ever memorable history to generations ahead and of my walking back to my union with the real and undisputed hero of the epic! Do very kindly keep suggesting the ways and means of assuring victory!' Thus Devi Sita narrated the suggestive 'yupayukta-arthayukta-snehayukta-and yukti yukta- upaayaas' or the most appropriate-well meaningful-friendly-suggestive means of accomplishment, Hanuman further annotated: 'Devi! the role of Kapi Shreshtha King Sugriva is considerable and significant. He, the 'satyavadi' bound by his 'pratigjna' of your recovery and liberation of Janaka Nandini, had determined by his head and shoulders. Trust me Devi! sa vānarasahasrānām kotībhir abhisamvṛtah, ksipram esyati vaidehi rāksasānām nibarhanah/ tasya vikramasampannāh sattvavanto mahābalāh, manahsamkalpa sampātā nideše harayah sthitāh/yesām nopari nādhastān na tiryak sajjate gatih, na ca karmasu sīdanti mahatsv amitatejasah/ King Sugriva is accompanied by' sahasra koti vaanara veeras' is soon going to attack Lanka. His sena is replete with parakrami-dhairyashali-maha bali-and manasika sankalpa samana veeras' who are ever-ready for 'atmaarpana'! The 'vaanara veeraas' normally imagined as fickle minded, are straight directioned, unwavery, unrelenting, with the grit, energy and speed far beyond human comprehension. asakrt tair mahotsahaih sasāgaradharādharā, pradaksinīkrtā bhūmir vāyumārgānu sāribhih/ madviśistāś ca tulyāś ca santi tatra vanaukasah, mattah pratyavarah kaś cin nāsti sugrīva samnidhau/ aham tāvad iha prāptaḥ kim punas te mahābalāḥ, na hi prakṛṣṭāḥ preṣyante presvante hītare janāh/ Some of the illustrious Vanara Pramukhas could cross good and long distances of the the hundred

yojanas of the Maha Samudra by simply flying in parts. In the Sugriva Sena, there are veeraas of my comparability too. As I have arrived here, Devi why are you apprehensive of similar vaanara veeraas! Do you realise that only vanaras of normal capability are despatched as messengers as this is a normal practice of royalties!

[Vishleshana on Devi Sita's apprehension of Vanaras crossing the hundred yojana span of Maha Sammudra: vide Sarga Sixty of Valmiki Kishkindha Ramayana.

Yuva Raja Angada then asked the Maha Vaanara Veeras by turn and named them as Gaja-Gavaaksha-Gavaya-Sharabha-Gandhamaadana- Mainda- Dvivida - Sushena-and Jambavan. The replies were as follows: Maha Vanara Gaja said that he could jump off by ten yojanas- Gavaksha could cover twenty yojanas-Sharabha confirmed thirty yojanas-Rishabha assured forty yojanas-Gandhamaadana would cover fifty yojanas comfortably- Mainda quoted sixty with enthusiasm- Dvipada by seventy yojanas- and Sushena the dare devil upto eighty yojanas. Then Jambavan stated that in his youthful days and years he no doubt could have crossed the distance from hear to the other shore, but now his present ability would now be restricted to some ninety yojanas but might not be more. Jambavan further confirmed: tāmś ca sarvān hariśreṣṭhāñ jāmbavān punar abravīt, na khalv etāvad evāsīd gamane me parākramaḥ/ mayā mahābalaiś caiva yajñe viṣṇuḥ sanātanaḥ, pradakṣiṇīkṛtaḥ pūrvam kramamāṇas trivikramaḥ/ In the years of yore when Bhagavan Vishnu assumed the incarnation of Vaamana Deva, as Danava Bali Chakravarti bestowed mere three feet of land to Vaamana, then the latter measured mere two feet as earth and urthva lokas and for the third foot was of the nether lokas with Bali down under too. That was the time, Jambavaan recalled he was able to perform full parikrama to the Virat swarupa!]

Stanza 40 onward continued:

tad alam paritāpena devi śoko vyapaitu te, ekotpātena te lankām eşyanti hariyūthapāḥ/ mama pṛṣṭhagatau tau ca candrasūryāv ivoditau, tvatsakāśam mahāsattvau nṛsimhāv āgamiṣyataḥ/ tau hi vīrau naravarau sahitau rāmalakṣmaṇau, āgamya nagarīm lankām sāyakair vidhamiṣyatah/ sagaṇam rāvaṇam hatvā rāghavo raghunandanah, tvām ādāya varārohe svapuram pratiyāsyati/Hence, Devi Sita! Kindly be rid of doubts as to how such vast vaanara sena could even cross this huge ocean to reach you and wear out with such issues; Vaanara veeras should be able to arrive right on the shores of Lanka soon. Like the Ushahkaala Surya Chandras, Shri Rama and Lakshmanas accompanied by the vaanara senashould be soon arriving seated on my shoulders just for your sake! Both of them ought to destroy Lanka, Lankadhipati and the followers and take you back right at your kingdom. Be assured, Varaaroha! and do not get alarmed for now as Rama should vision you like the radiant agni jvaalas to comfort you for ever. Having destroyed the progeny, relatives, and followers, Ravana would soon remain by his name only ceased of existence for ever. mā rudo devi śokena mā bhūt te manaso 'priyam, śacīva pathyā śakrena bhartrā nāthavatī hv asi/rāmād viśistah ko 'nvo 'sti kaś cit saumitrinā samah, agnimārutakalpau tau bhrātarau tava samśrayau /nāsmimś ciram vatsyasi devi deśe; raksoganair adhyusito 'tiraudre, na te cirād āgamanam priyasya; kṣamasva matsamgamakālamātram/ Devi! the cause of your seperation is the obvious off shoot of your cryings; kindly be courageous for now; like Shachi Devi was agonised by the absence of a temporary seperation of Indra Deva [when the latter hid himself in a lotus stem accused of brahma hatya paataka as finally Brahma decided in Indras's favor]. Indeed, who else is the Yuga Purusha like Shri Rama! Who else is comparable to Lakshmana for his devotion and commitment for Shri Rama. Why ought you to get rattled for now when both the brothers are with you together like Agni Deva and Vayu Deva! Devi Sita! You would have stay for more than but a few days in this fearful atmosphere; even as my reaching your present to Shri Rama, he should soon appear before you; and hence bear with patience a few more days and nights for now.'

Sarga Forty

<u>Devi Sita reiterated what Anjaneya should faithfully convey her desperation for her very life while</u> handing over hair clip to Shri Rama - Hunuman reiterates Rama's instant reaction to reach her soonest!

śrutvā tu vacanam tasya vāyusūnor mahātmanah, uvācātmahitam vākyam sītā surasutopamā/ tvām dṛṣṭvā priyavaktāram samprahṛṣyāmi vānara, ardhasamjātasasyeva vṛṣṭim prāpya vasumdharā/ yathā tam puruşavyāghram gātraiḥ śokābhikarśitaiḥ, samspṛśeyam sakāmāham tathā kuru dayām mayi/ abhijñānam ca rāmasya dattam harigaņottama, kṣiptām īṣikām kākasya kopād ekākṣiśātanīm/ manahśilāyās tikalo gandapārśve niveśitah, tvayā pranaste tilake tam kila smartum arhasi/ sa vīryayān katham sītām hrtām samanumanyase, vasantīm raksasām madhye mahendravarunopama/ esa cūdāmanir divyo mayā supariraksitah, etam dṛstvā prahṛsyāmi vyasane tvām ivānagha/ esa niryātitah śrīmān mayā te vārisambhavah, atah param na śaksyāmi jīvitum śokalālasā/ asahyāni ca duhkhāni vācaś ca hṛdayacchidaḥ, rākṣasīnām sughorāṇām tvatkṛte marṣayāmy aham/ dhārayiṣyāmi māsam tu jīvitam śatrusūdana, māsād ūrdhvam na jīviṣye tvayā hīnā nṛpātmaja/ ghoro rākṣasarājo 'yam dṛṣṭiś ca na sukhā mayi, tvām ca śrutvā vipadvantam na jīvevam aham ksanam/ vaidehvā vacanam śrutvā karunam sāśrubhāṣitam, athābravīn mahātejā hanumān mārutātmajaḥ/ asahyāni ca duḥkhāni vācaś ca hṛdayacchidaḥ, rākṣasīnām sughorāṇām tvatkṛte marṣayāmy aham/ dhārayiṣyāmi māsam tu jīvitam śatrusūdana, māsād ūrdhvam na jīvisye tvayā hīnā nṛpātmaja/ ghoro rāksasarājo 'yam drstiś ca na sukhā mayi, tvām ca śrutvā vipadyantam na jīveyam aham ksanam/ Vaidehya vachanam shrutvaa karunam saashrubhaashitam, athaabryeen mahatejaa hanuman maarutaatmajah/ Tacchhokamimuko ramo devi satyena te shape, raame shokaabhibhute tu Lakshmanah paritapyate/ Drushtaa kathamchid bhavati na kaalah paridevitum, iyam muhurtam duhkhamaanaamantam drakshayasi bhamini/ taa vibhou purusha vyaaghrou rajaputraavananditou, tvaddharshana kritotsaahou lankaam bhasmeekarishyatah/ Hatvaa tu samare raksho raavanam sahabaandhavaih, Raaghavou tvaam vishaalaakshi svaam pureem pratineshyatah/ yat tu rāmo vijānīyād abhijñānam anindite, prītisamjananam tasya bhūyas tvam dātum arhasi/ sābravīd dattam eveha mayābhijñānam uttamam, etad eva hi rāmasya drstvā matkeśabhūsanam, śraddheyam hanuman vākyam tava vīra bhavişyati/ sa tam manivaram grhya śrīmān plavagasattamah, pranamya śirasā devīm gamanāyopacakrame,/ tam utpātakrtotsāham aveksya haripumgayam, vardhamānam mahāvegam uvāca janakātmajā, aśrupūrņa -mukhī dīnā bāspagadgadayā girā/ hanūman simhasamkāśau bhrātarau rāmalakṣmaṇau, sugrīvam ca sahāmātyam sarvān brūyā anāmayam/yathā ca sa mahābāhur mām tārayati rāghayah, asmād duhkhāmbusamrodhāt tat samādhātum arhasi/ imam ca tīvram mama śokavegam; raksobhir ebhih paribhartsanam ca, brūyās tu rāmasya gatah samīpam; śivaś ca te 'dhvāstu haripravīra/ sa rājaputryā prativeditārthah; kapih krtārthah parihrstacetāh, tad alpasesam prasamīksva kārvam; diśam hy udīcīm manasā jagāma/

On hearing the assurances of the arrival soon of Rama-Lakshmana-Sugrivas along with the maha vaanara sena, Devi Sita replied to Hanuman as follows: 'Vaanara veera!You have truly delighted me as I feel thrilled with joy just like the dried up food grain fields are sprouting greenery once again with the delightful showers of rains. Be kind to me as my ever continued cryings lead me to ill health and loss of appetite with the dreamlike hope of loving the touch of Shri Rama's body. Vanara shreshtha! I am reminded of Rama's affected anger with which he was aiming his arrow on a frightened deer. Rama! My beloved! You have the bravery and ability of Mahendra or Varuna! But why are you avoiding me and imprisoning me known as Sita in the midst of rakshasaas and punishing me for long times! Praneshwara! Whenever my extreme distress and grief overcome me, then I tend to pull out my chudamani gifted by you as hidden from my dirty clothes and seek solace for a while. It is that very hair clip of mani ratna as studded with the very rare sea pearl gifted by you is being returned to you as my precious reminder of our love, as I am sobbing!.

[Vishleshana on the sources of precious pearls:

Following is a stanza describes the grandeur of natural pearls of fame: Gaja kumbheshu vamsheshu phanaasu jaladeshucha, shukti kaayaamikshudande shodhaa Mouktika sambhavah/ Gaja kumbhe karburaabhaah vamsho raktasitaah smritaah,phanaasu vaasukereva neela varnaa prakeertitaah/ Jyotirvarnaastu jalade shuktikaayaah sitaah smritaah, Ikshdande peeta varnaah manayo mouktikaah smritaah/ Following are the six famed places of origin in which spotless and most precious pearls are originated: Gaja kumbha, bamboo hollows, cobra hoods, clouds, sugar canes and pearl oysters. Pearls from Gaja kumbha or skull is of kurveera colour, bamboo hollow are of rakta / sveta varnas, Vaasuki and such cobra hoods are of blue colour, in water carrying clouds are of vidyut varna, sugarcane based pearls are of yellow colour, and of oysters are of pure white! (Source: Essence of Soundarya Lahari of kamakoti. org/books section, ref. stanza 74)

Stanza 9 onward:

asahyāni ca duḥkhāni vācaś ca hṛdayacchidaḥ, rākṣasīnām sughorānām tvatkṛte marṣayāmy aham/ dhāravisvāmi māsam tu jīvitam satrusūdana, māsād ūrdhvam na jīvisve tvavā hīnā nrpātmaja/ ghoro rākṣasarājo 'yam dṛṣṭiś ca na sukhā mayi, tvām ca śrutvā vipadyantam na jīveyam aham kṣaṇam/ Devi Sita continued sobbing while handing over her most precious 'choodaamani'to Hanuman said: Prana naatha! I am unable to suffer and tolerate any further the heartrending 'rakshasi himsa' surrounded by me. Shatrusudana! I feel that I could somehow eke out my breathing for a very maximim of perhaps a month or so, but might not be further more. This Rtakshasa Raja Ravana is extremely cruel and merciless; his desperation for me is alarming; should there be any atyaachaara for me then I might not last for a minutr more!' Then as she broke down crying, Hanuman replied most convincingly: Tacchhokamimuko ramo devi satyena te shape, raame shokaabhibhute tu Lakshmanah paritapyate/ Drushtaa kathamchid bhavati na kaalah paridevitum, iyam muhurtam duhkhamaanaamantam drakshayasi bhamini/ taa vibhou purusha vyaaghrou rajaputraavananditou, tvaddharshana kritotsaahou lankaam bhasmeekarishyatah/ Hatvaa tu samare raksho raavanam sahabaandhavaih, Raaghavou tvaam vishaalaakshi svaam pureem pratineshyatah/ Devi! I am swearing in th name of Truthfulness that no sooner I convey your statements than that the Purusha Simhas of Rama Lakshmanas, should get desparate seeking your 'darshan' and pull down Lankapuri to ashes. Having destroyed Ravana along with his relatives ad followers, they would most definitely take you to 'ayodhya' back with pomp and fame.' Having finally assured Devi Janaki, Veera Hanuman jumped off while the wiped off her tears uttered mangala vaakyaas for Rama Lakshmana Sugriva, Vanara Pramukhas and the entire Maha Vanara Sena. She had finally addressed Hanuman: sa rājaputryā prativeditārthah; kapih krtārthah parihrstacetāh, tad alpaśesam prasamīksya kāryam; diśam hy udīcīm manasā jagāma/ Having fully realised Devi Sita's inner feelings of fear of life, pangs of seperation, utter relief from his words of repeated assurances, Haunuman got pensive and moved on northward for his spree of Lanka's destruction to send shock samples of what all even one Vaanara Veera was able to perfoem!

Sarga Forty One

<u>Veera Hanuman devastates Ashoka Vaatika- on witnessing this the frightened Rakshasis surrounding</u> <u>Devi Sita ran away to Ravanasura stating some Celestial Being had reached at the Ahoka Vaatika</u>

Sa ca vāgbhiḥ praśastābhir gamiṣyan pūjitas tayā, tasmād deśād apakramya cintayām āsa vānaraḥ/alpaśeṣam idam kāryam dṛṣṭeyam asitekṣaṇā, trīn upāyān atikramya caturtha iha dṛśyate/ na sāma rakṣaḥsu guṇāya kalpate; na danam arthopaciteṣu vartate, na bhedasādhyā baladarpitā janāḥ; parākramas tv eṣa mameha rocate/ na cāsya kāryasya parākramād ṛte; viniścayaḥ kaś cid ihopapadyate, hṛtapravīrās tu raṇe hi rākṣasāḥ; katham cid īyur yad ihādya mārdavam/ kārye karmaṇi nirdiṣṭo yo bahūny api sādhayet, pūrvakāryavirodhena sa kāryam kartum arhati/ na hy ekaḥ sādhako hetuḥ svalpasyāpīha karmaṇaḥ, yo hy artham bahudhā veda sa samartho 'rthasādhane/ ihaiva tāvat kṛtaniścayo hy aham; yadi vrajeyam plavageśvarālayam, parātmasammarda viśeṣatattvavit; tataḥ kṛtam

syān mama bhartṛśāsanam/ katham nu khalv adya bhavet sukhāgatam; prasahya yuddham mama rākṣasaiḥ saha, tathaiva khalv ātmabalam ca sāravat; samānayen mām ca raṇe daśānanaḥ/ idam asya nṛśamsasya nandanopamam uttamam, vanam netramanaḥkāntam nānādrumalatāyutam/ idam vidhvamsayiṣyāmi śuṣkam vanam ivānalaḥ, asmin bhagne tataḥ kopam kariṣyati sa rāvaṇaḥ/ tato mahat sāśvamahārathadvipam; balam samāneṣv api rākṣasādhipaḥ, triśūlakālāyasapaṭṭiśāyudham; tato mahad yuddham idam bhaviṣyati/ aham tu taiḥ samyati caṇḍavikramaiḥ; sametya rakṣobhir asamgavikramaḥ, nihatya tad rāvaṇacoditam balam; sukham gamiṣyāmi kapīśvarālayam/ tato mārutavat kruddho mārutir bhīmavikramaḥ, ūruvegena mahatā drumān kṣeptum athārabhat/ tatas tad dhanumān vīro babhañja pramadāvanam, mattadvijasamāghuṣṭam nānādrumalatāyutam/ tad vanam mathitair vṛkṣair bhinnaiś ca salilāśayaiḥ, cūrṇitaiḥ parvatāgraiś ca babhūvāpriyadarśanam/ latāgṛhaiś citragṛhaiś ca nāśitair; mahoragair vyālamṛgaiś ca nirdhutaiḥ, śilāgṛhair unmathitais tathā gṛhaiḥ; pranaṣṭarūpam tad abhūn mahad vanam/ sa tasya kṛtvārthapater mahākapir; mahad vyalīkam manaso mahātmanaḥ/ yuyutsur eko bahubhir mahābalaiḥ; śriyā jyalams toraṇam āśritaḥ kapih/

Having taken leave of Devi Sita, Hanuman cogitated that now that the most essential duty of Devi Darshana and mutual conversation, the next most significant task still remained viz. an assessment of the might of the offender Rakshasaas. They possess high level prosperity indulging in all sorts of criminalities and are truly ruthless. They need to be tested from the view point of 'Chaturopaaya saadhana' of Saama-Daana-Bheda-Dandas. In such a context, would it be proper for me to resort to my providing them of their glimpses of my capacities of chivalry and ask for needless troubles especially for Devi Sita! On the other hand, one needs to realise that for 'karyha siddhi' or the ultimate goal, the taste of even one Vanara Veera's ability to stir up chunks of Rakshasaas would be an eye opener to Ravana and his clan. kārye karmani nirdisto yo bahūny api sādhayet, pūrvakāryavirodhena sa kāryam kartum arhati/ na hy ekah sādhako hetuh svalpasyāpīha karmanah, yo hy artham bahudhā veda sa samartho 'rthasādhane/ He who could possess the ability to make a break through should be able to see the positive results of any action to be followed too as a trendsetter to his associates too. If I were to succeed in the sample task, then my colleagues would follow suit. The experimental tasks one succeeded, the art of such performances the would be natural corollaries. No doubt any failure of the initial task might boomerang to a disaster, hence only initial thrust becomes very crucial as the art of evasion would be an additional asset. Only such a capable person with an epertise of all the shades of tactics of offence and defence too. ihaiva tāvat krtaniścayo hy aham; yadi vrajeyam plavageśvarālayam, parātmasammarda viśesatattvavit; tatah krtam syān mama bhartrśāsanam/ katham nu khalv adya bhavet sukhāgatam; prasahya yuddham mama rāksasaih saha, tathaiva khalv ātmabalam ca sāravat; samānayen mām ca rane daśānanah/ Therefore an initial assessement of my this 'yatra'- quite apart from my suuccess of Devi Sitaanveshana which is paramount- would surely by appreciated by King Sugriva, under whose instructions, this might prove to be a bonus acheivement. In fact, he should help this experimental exercise of mine being a success, I might as well take up the next duty of assessing the enemy strength which is the next useful- nay quite essential prerequiite of the impending battle! idam asva nrśamsasva nandanopamam uttamam, vanam netramanahkāntam nānādrumalatāvutam/ idam vidhvamsavisvāmi śuṣkam vanam ivānalaḥ, asmin bhagne tataḥ kopam kariṣyati sa rāvaṇaḥ/ tato mahat sāśvamahārathadvipam; balam samānesv api rāksasādhipah, triśūlakālāyasapattiśāyudham; tato mahad yuddham idam bhavisyati/ Then Hanuman mused further: Nirdaya Ravanaasura has the appreciable taste of creating this type of highly attractive and even picturesque 'Pramadaavana' or the Ashoka Vatika; how is it that after searching the nook and corner of Lanka's 'Raani Nivasa' akin to Pushpaka Vimana seized forcibly from his brother Kubera, that I discovered the Pranadaavana by my sheer luck! Now, shoud I not start with this chaming 'upavana vidhyamsa' so that the Raashasa Raja would receive warning signals merely, lest Ravana might not even get ready for a battle, so that he would instantly get agitated and send elephants, horses, huge chariots with rakasasas equipped with trishulas, and astra shastras and purpose might not be out of hands and non productive. That might only appear like the mischeif of a vanara deserving to be punished. Thereafter I might as well depart from Lanka with contentment. tato mārutavat kruddho mārutir bhīmavikramah, ūruvegena mahatā drumān kseptum athārabhat/ tatas tad dhanumān

vīro babhañja pramadāvanam, mattadvijasamāghuṣṭam nānādrumalatāyutam/ tad vanam mathitair vṛkṣair bhinnaiś ca salilāśayaiḥ, cūrṇitaiḥ parvatāgraiś ca babhūvāpriyadarśanam/ Thus having introspected by carefully thought over, Hanuman commenced the process of destroying the Vana by hitting with the speed of winds uprooted the huge trees; then the tranquility of the garden was suddenly destroyed by the screaming birds and the 'antah pura's upavana'went into wreckage. The lataa mandapa and chitra shaala went into rubbles and the 'antahpura strees'- quite a few of them being gandharva-yaksha-and of course rakshasis ran away helter skelter. As the message was instantly flashed by his messengers, Ravana went into red rage when he was actually resting.

Sarga Forty Two

Ravanasura on learning of a stranger devastating Pramadaavava, despatches a strong regiment of his army of well trained eight thousand rakshasa force named Kinkaraas.

Tataḥ pakṣininādena vṛkṣabhaṅgasvanena ca, babhūvus trāsasambhrāntāh sarve laṅkānivāsinaḥ/ vidrutāś ca bhayatrastā vinedur mṛgapakṣuṇaḥ, rakṣasām ca nimittāni krūrāṇi pratipedire/ tato gatāyām nidrāyām rākṣasyo vikṛtānanāḥ, tad vanam dadṛśur bhagnam tam ca vīram mahākapim sa tā dṛṣṭva mahābāhur mahāsattvo mahābalah, cakāra sumahad rūpam rāksasīnām bhayāvaham/ tatas tam girisamkāśam atikāyam mahābalam, rāksasyo vānaram drstvā papracchur janakātmajām, ko 'yam kasya kuto vāyam kimnimittam ihāgataḥ, katham tvayā sahānena samvādaḥ kṛta ity uta/ ācakṣva no viśālākṣi mā bhūt te subhage bhayam, samvādam asitāpānge tvayā kim krtavān ayam/ athābravīt tadā sādhvī sītā sarvāngasobhanā, rakṣasām kāmarūpāṇām vijñāne mama kā gatiḥ/ yūyam evāsya jānīta yo 'yam yad vā karişyati, ahir eva aheh pādān vijānāti na samsayah/ aham apy asya bhītāsmi nainam jānāmi ko 'nvayam, vedmi rāksasam evainam kāmarūpinam āgatam/ vaidehyā vacanam śrutvā rāksasyo vidrutā virūpam vānaram bhīmam ākhyātum upacakramuh/ aśokavanikā madhye rājan bhīmavapuh kapih/ sītayā kṛtasamvādas tiṣṭhaty amitavikramaḥ/ na ca tam jānakī sītā harim harinalocaṇā, asmābhir bahudhā pṛṣṭā nivedayitum icchati/ vāsavasya bhaved dūto dūto vaiśravaṇasya vā, preṣito vāpi rāmeṇa sītānvesanakāṅksayā/ tena tvadbhūtarūpena vat tat tava manoharam, nānāmrgaganākīrnaṁ pramrstaṁ pramadāvanam/ na tatra kaś cid uddeśo vas tena na vināśitah, vatra sā jānakī sītā sa tena na vināśitah/ jānakīrakṣaṇārtham vā śramād vā nopalabhyate, atha vā kaḥ śramas tasya saiva tenābhirakṣitā/ cārupallavapatrāḍhyam yam sītā svayam āsthitā, pravṛddhaḥ śimśapāvṛkṣaḥ sa ca tenābhirakṣitaḥ/ tasyograrūpasyogram tvam daņdam ājñātum arhasi, sītā sambhāsitā yena tad vanam ca vināsitam/ manahparigrhītām tām tava raksoganeśvara, kah sītām abhibhāseta yo na syāt tyaktajīvitah/Raksasīnām vacah śrutvā rāvano rāksaseśvarah, hutāgir iva jajvāla kopasamvartiteksanah/ātmanah sadṛśāñ śūrān kimkarān nāma rākṣasān,ādideśa mahātejā nigrahārtham hanūmatah/ teṣām aśītisāhasram kimkarāṇām tarasvinām, niryayur bhavanāt tasmāt kūṭamudgarapāṇayaḥ/ mahodarā mahādamṣṭrā ghorarūpā mahābalāh, yuddhābhimanasah sarve hanūmadgrahanonmukhāh/te kapim tam samāsādya toranastham avasthitam, abhipetur mahāvegāḥ patangā iva pāvakam/ te gadābhir vicitrābhiḥ parighaiḥ kāñcanān gadaiḥ, ājaghnur vānaraśreṣṭhaṁ śarair ādityasaṁnibhaiḥ/ hanūmān api tejasvī śrīmān parvatasamnibhaḥ, kṣitāv āvidhya lāngūlam nanāda ca mahāsvanam/tasya samnādaśabdena te 'bhavan bhayaśańkitāh, dadrśuś ca hanūmantam samdhyāmegham ivonnatam/ svāmisamdeśanihśańkās tatas te rāksasāh kapim,chitraih praharanair bhīmair abhipetus tatas tatah/ sa taih parivṛtah śūraih sarvatah sa mahābalah, āsasādāyasam bhīmam parigham toranāśritam/ sa tam parigham ādāya jaghāna rajanīcarān, sa pannagam ivādāya sphurantam vinatāsutah/ vicacārāmbare vīrah parigrhya ca mārutiḥ,sudayaamaasa vajrena daityaaniva sahasradruk/ sa hatvā rākṣasān vīraḥ kimkarān mārutātmajaḥ, yuddhākānkṣī punar vīras toraṇam samupasthitaḥ/ tatas tasmād bhayān muktāḥ kati cit tatra rākṣasāḥ, nihatān kimkarān sarvān rāvaṇāya nyavedayan/ sa rākṣasānām nihatam mahābalam; niśamya rājā parivrttalocanah, samādideśāpratimam parākrame; prahastaputram samare sudurjayam/

As the sudden flare up of the birds and their deafening noises besides the thuds of big tree collapses, Lanka Pura residents were shocked and trembled with fear. They believed that Lankapuri was faced with frightening 'apashakunas' or dangerous evil omens. The 'vikaraala mukha rakshasis' surrounding Devi Sita were jolted up from their deep slumber. Then they sighted a normal figure of a vaanara; then Hanuman increased his height and proportionate physique. Then they started interrogating Devi Sita as to who was that giant sized Vanara. She was in shivers and replied by nodding her head across and replied that perhaps that figure was that of a maayaavi raakshasa! Then the surrounding Rakshasis ran away out of fright. They raced up to the antah pura of Ravana and informed him agitatedly that a frightening and grotesque figure of a Vaanara had entered the 'Pramadaavana' and he is still there! na ca tam jānakī sītā harim harinalocaṇā, asmābhir bahudhā pṛṣṭā nivedayitum icchati/ vāsavasya bhaved dūto dūto vaiśravanasya vā, presito vāpi rāmena sītānvesanakānksayā/ tena tvadbhūtarūpena yat tat tava manoharam, nānāmṛgagaṇākīrṇam pramṛṣṭam pramadāvanam/ na tatra kaś cid uddeśo yas tena na vināśitah, yatra sā jānakī sītā sa tena na vināśitah/ We had interrogated Sita under our direct control and she replied in the negative as she presumed that the stranger must have been a 'maayaavi rakshasa'! May be that huge figure was sent by Indra or even possibly Kubera! That mammoth figured Vanara had pulled down the entire Pramadaavana and spared nothing excepting where Sita was stationed as guarded by us. Maha Ravana! You may like to impose a 'maha danda' to that Vanara. Rakshasa Raja! As you had very kindly kept trust in us, we have been dutifully following your kind instructions and guarding Sita day and night. Rakṣasīnām vacaḥ śrutvā rāvaṇo rākṣaseśvaraḥ, hutāgir iva jajvāla kopasamvartitekṣaṇaḥ/ ātmanah sadrśāñ śūrān kimkarān nāma rāksasān,ādideśa mahātejā nigrahārtham hanūmatah/ tesām aśītisāhasram kimkarānām tarasvinām, nirvayur bhavanāt tasmāt kūtamudgarapānayah/On being thus informed by the group of trusted rakshasis fully, Ramanaasura went in uncontrollable rage as his eyes were reddened even as his hot tears were rolled down seething anger. He called for the group of eighty thousand of well trained Maha Rakshasas of 'Kinkara Group'; they were of frightening, tall, sturdy body forms with bulging bellies, protruded 'simha damshtras' fully prepared with shulas-mudgaras- maces and shields. They were excited with enthusiam to catch a monkey. Pavana putra Hanuman in his giant body form extended tail which made its resounding sounds which the entire Lanka pura vaasis shouted: Victory to Mahabali Shri Rama and Lakshmana. Victory to my King Sugriva of billions of Maha Vanaras. I am the servant-messenger of Maha Veera Shri Rama who is about to arrive here instantly. I am the Vayu Putra Veera Hanuman who could comfortably encounter thousands of Ravanas. I am capable of devastating Lanka and have arrived here to greet with humility and respect Devi Sita and would return to Shri Rama . tasya samnādaśabdena te 'bhavan bhayaśankitāḥ, dadṛśuś ca hanūmantam samdhyāmegham ivonnatam/ svāmisamdeśanihśankās tatas te rāksasāh kapim,chitraih praharanair bhīmair abhipetus tatas tatah/ As Hanuman thundered likewise, the totality of Rakshasaas were so frightened as many had even lost their consciousness as his body profile seething with anger like the clouds at the sunset time turned red. sa taih parivṛtah śūraih sarvatah sa mahābalah, āsasādāyasam bhīmam parigham toraṇāśritam/ sa tam parigham ādāya jaghāna rajanīcarān, sa pannagam ivādāya sphurantam vinatāsutaḥ/vicacārāmbare vīraḥ parigrhya ca mārutiḥ,sudayaamaasa vajrena daityaaniva sahasradruk/ Then the eighty thousand rakashasaas of the Kinkara regiment surrounded Vera Hanuman with their armoury, and the very many astra shastras. Then having taken the name of Shri Rama, his master, the latter manifested a fearful 'loha parigha' (iron club) in his mighty arms and methodically, yet, mercilessly buchered the gang of the Kinkaras to pieces. sa hatvā rākṣasān vīraḥ kimkarān mārutātmajah, yuddhākānksī punar vīras toranam samupasthitah/ tatas tasmād bhayān muktāh kati cit tatra rāksasāh, nihatān kimkarān sarvān rāvanāya nyavedayan/ sa rāksasānām nihatam mahābalam; niśamya rājā parivṛttalocanah, samādideśāpratimam parākrame; prahastaputram samare sudurjayam/ Having done so, Pavana Putra was still standing erect as though was awaiting for another batch of rakshasaas. As a few of the rakshasaas ran away and reached Ravana, the latter got amazed and even nervous. On recovery of his senses back, Ravana then named 'Prahasta Putra Jambumaali' who had the name and fame as an invincible Rakshasa that be the choicest parakrami to teach a fitting lesson by uprooting Hanuman.

Sarga Forty Three

Mahabali Vayu Putra then devastates 'Chityapraasaada' the Rakshasa Kuladevata sthaana - and the rakshasas around it.

Tataḥ sa kimkarān hatvā hanūmān dhyānam āsthitaḥ, vanam bhagnam mayā caityaprāsādo na vināśitaḥ, tasmāt prāsādam apy evam imam vidhvamsavāmy aham/ iti samcintya hanumān manasā darśayan balam, caityaprāsādam āplutya meruśrngam ivonnatam, āruroha hariśreṣṭho hanūmān mārutātmajah/ sampradhrsya ca durdharsas caityaprāsādam unnatam, hanūmān prajvalam laksmyā pāriyātropamo 'bhavat/ sa bhūtvā tu mahākāvo hanūmān mārutātmajah, dhrstam āsphotavām āsa lankām sabdena pūrayan/ tasyāsphotitasabdena mahatā srotraghātinā, petur vihamgā gaganād uccais cedam aghosaya/ jayaty atibalo rāmo laksmanaś ca mahābalah, rājā jayati sugrīvo rāghavenābhipālitah/ dāso 'ham kosalendrasya rāmasyāklistakarmanah, hanumāñ śatrusainyānām nihantā mārutātmajah/ na rāvanasahasram me yuddhe pratibalam bhavet, śilābhis tu praharatah pādapaiś ca sahasraśah/ ardayitvā purīm lankām abhivādya ca maithilīm, samrddhārtho gamişyāmi mişatām sarvarakṣasām/ evam uktvā vimānasthas caityasthān haripumgavah, nanāda bhīmanirhrādo rakṣasām janayan bhayam/ tena sabdena mahatā caitvapālāh satam vavuh, grhītvā vividhān astrān prāsān khadgān parasvadhān, visrjanto mahākṣayā mārutim paryavārayan/ āvarta iva gangāyās toyasya vipulo mahān, parikṣipya hariśrestham sa babhau rakṣasām gaṇaḥ/ tato vātātmajaḥ kruddho bhīmarūpam samāsthitaḥ, prāsādasya mahāms tasya stambham hemapariṣkṛtam, utpāṭayitvā vegena hanūmān mārutātmajah/ tatas tam bhrāmayām āsa śatadhāram mahābalah, sa rāksasaśatam hatvā vajrenendra ivāsurān, antariksasthitah śrīmān idam vacanam abravīt/ mādṛśānām sahasrāṇi visṛṣṭāni mahātmanām, balinām vānarendrāṇām sugrīvavaśavartinām/ śataih śatasahasraiś ca kotībhir avutair api, āgamisvati sugrīvah sarvesām vo nisūdanah/ nevam asti purī laṅkā na vūvam na ca rāvanah, vasmād iksvākunāthena baddham vairam mahātmanā/

Veera Hanuman felt glad that he had ravaged the so called rakasha regiment of Kinkaras, but the adjacent Chaitya Praasaada the 'Kuladevataa sthaana' allured him too and instantly jumped across in one leap. This was of the mountain like drome into which several rakshasaas were already assembled. As the entire Lanka raiya population could hear, there were reverberations as Hanuman lifted up his mighty parigha which was created by him to massacre the gang of Kinkaras and demolished the dome, the strong walls and the entire flooring made of quality marble so systematically and assiduously carved by thousands of mighty rakshasas. The thousands strong birds living in their nests for years and decades were either flew away creating resounding noises or got fainted of dropped dead down into the crevices of the shattered floring to creating havoc. Then Anjaneya in that very collossal 'swarupa' made a 'megha garjana' of thunderous voice: na rāvanasahasram me yuddhe pratibalam bhavet, silābhis tu praharatah pādapais ca sahasraśaḥ/ ardayitvā purīm lankām abhivādya ca maithilīm, samṛddhārtho gamiṣyāmi miṣatām sarvarakṣasām/Victory to the ever famed Shri Rama, the world's outsanding warrior Lakshmana, and King of the Vanara race worldwide, Sugriva! Neither Rakshasa King Ravana nor his Rakshasa clan could ever dream of encountering Shri Rana the hero of this yuga! My name is Anjaneya, the unchallengeable associate and true devotee of the bravest and invincible warrior of unbelievable skills of archery on the earth. Being the illustrative and proud son of Vayu Deva, I must be remembered for my bravery and battling. Even thousand Ravanaasurus should pale into insignifiance before me my agility, speed and energy. At the same time, I am subservient to the Super Hero amd 'mahaastra vetta' and Maha Bali Veera Lakshmana. As start devastating huge trees in thousands and annihilating countless mighty and maayaavi rakshasaas without mercy, thousands of Ravanaas who had timidly and surreptitiously kidnapped Devi Sita a 'maha pativrata' in the absence of Rama Lakshmanas. Now I challenge the meanest Ravanas galore to face me in an encounter to stop Devi Sita to be recovered accompanying me back to Shri Rama'. As Hanuman thundered, the thoshand strong rakshasa veeras surrounded the mammoth swarupa of Anjaneya and once again as in the case of the Kinkara Rakshasaas, lifted his powerful parigha and slaughtered the Rakshasa security force of the chaityapraasaada whch had neither a dome nor carved floor. There after, the highly angered Hanuman assumed a frighening and further heightened form of furious and high velocity winds and pulled down pillars and the roof coverings instantly and roared like an angered lion:

mādṛśānām sahasrāṇi visṛṣṭāni mahātmanām, balinām vānarendrāṇām sugrīvavaśavartinām/ śataiḥ śatasahasraiś ca koṭībhir ayutair api, āgamiṣyati sugrīvaḥ sarveṣām vo niṣūdanaḥ/ neyam asti purī lankā na yūyam na ca rāvaṇaḥ, yasmād ikṣvākunāthena baddham vairam mahātmanā/ 'Hey Rakshasaas! I am a mere sample of a Vanara Yodhha; beware my King Sugriva who has thousands of Vanara Yoddhhas - apart from the full race of Vanaras in crores- is about to despatch very soon. Some of such Vaanara warriors do possess the physical strength of ten to hudred elephants put together; while quite a few of them of thousand elephants even without exaggeration. Believe me thousands of average marked Vaanaras possess such sharp and mighty teeth and nails are going to arrive on crores under the overall control of Sugriva our King. Now, on that arrival of Rama Lakshmana Sugrivas just round the corner, there would be neither Lanka puri, nor you, and your King Ravanaasura, as the latter picked up enmity with the Ikshvaaku Vamsha Maha Veera Shri Rama.

Sarga Forty Four

<u>Veeranjaneya smashes the expertise of 'baana-prayoga' of Maha Rakshasa Jambumali, as Ravanaasura decided to utilise the extraordinary skills of archrey of the Prahasta Putra to pull down the Pavana Putra </u>

Samdisto rāksasendrena prahastasya suto balī, jambumālī mahādamstro nirjagāma dhanurdharah/ raktamālyāmbaradharah sragvī rucirakundalah, mahān vivrttanayanas candah samaradurjayah/ dhanuh śakradhanuḥ prakhyam mahad rucirasāyakam, visphārayāṇo vegena vajrāśanisamasvanam/ tasya visphāraghoṣeṇa dhanuṣo mahatā diśah, pradiśaś ca nabhaś caiva sahasā samapūryata/ rathena kharayuktena tam āgatam udīksya sah, hanūmān vegasampanno jaharsa ca nanāda ca/ tam toranavitankastham hanūmantam mahākapim, jambumālī mahābāhur vivyādha niśitaih śaraih/ ardhacandrena vadane śirasy ekena karninā, bāhvor vivyādha nārācair daśabhis tam kapīśvaram/ tasya tac chuśubhe tāmram śarenābhihatam mukham, śaradīvāmbujam phullam viddham bhāskararaśminā/ cukopa bāṇābhihato rākṣasasya mahākapiḥ, tataḥ pārśve 'tivipulām dadarśa mahatīm śilām/ tarasā tām samutpātva ciksepa balavad balī, tām śarair daśabhih kruddhas tādavām āsa rāksasah/ vipannam karma tad drstvā hanūmāms candavikramah, sālam vipulam utpātva bhrāmavām āsa vīrvavān/ bhrāmavantam kapim dṛṣṭvā sālavṛkṣam mahābalam, cikṣepa subahūn bāṇāñ jambumālī mahābalaḥ/ sālam caturbhir ciccheda vānaram pañcabhir bhuje, urasy ekena bānena daśabhis tu stanāntare/ sa śaraih pūritatanuh krodhena mahatā vrtah, tam eva parigham grhya bhrāmayām āsa vegitah/ ativego 'tivegena bhrāmayitvā balotkatah, parigham pātayām āsa jambumāler mahorasi/tasya caiva śiro nāsti na bāhū na ca jānunī, na dhanur na ratho nāśvās tatrādrśvanta nesavah/ sa hatas tarasā tena jambumālī mahārathah, papāta nihato bhūmau cūrnitāngavibhūṣaṇaḥ/ jambumālim ca nihatam kimkarāms ca mahābalān, cukrodha rāvaṇah śrutvā kopasamraktalocanah/ sa roṣasamvartitatāmralocanah; prahastaputre nihate mahābale, amātyaputrān ativīryavikramān; samādideśāśu niśācareśvaraļ/

As Hanuman had brought down from the dome to debris of the Kula Devata's place Chaityaprasaada, King Ravana had instantly decided to despatch Prahasta putra Jambumaali an extraodinary warrior specially trained in proficiency and expertise in archery. As instructed by the King, Jambumali emerged from the Raja Mahal with his dhanush in his arms attired in a red dress, wearing a glittering necklace around his neck, sparkling kundalas on his ears, while he was seething anger. Indeed he was unassailable on any battle front, even against celestials. His dhanush was like Indra dhanush releasing arrows of 'vibgyor' colours of violet-indigo-blue-green-yellow-orange-and blood red! As he releases the arrows, earth shaking tremors are resounded in 'ashta dishas'. He too is seated on a donkey drawn chariot looking in search of Anjaneya. Having spotted the enormous form of Veera Hanuman even from long distance from his donkey chariot on the sky, Jambumaali blasted ten each of 'ardha-chandraakaara baanas' on Hanuman's face, and 'karnika' baanas on his head. Then as the spree af arrows thus released by the well renowned rakshasa Jambumaali, Hanuman was taken aback by surprise as his hands were hurt grievously hurt and his red face was like a red lotus freshly opened up by the ushakaala Surya especially in the Sarad

Ritu or the Autumn Season. Indeed, Hanuman turned terribly angry. cukopa bānābhihato rāksasasya mahākapih, tatah pārśve 'tivipulām dadarśa mahatīm śilām/ tarasā tām samutpātya ciksepa balavad balī, tām śarair daśabhih kruddhas tāḍayām āsa rākṣasah/ vipannam karma tad dṛṣṭvā hanūmāmś caṇḍavikramaḥ, sālam vipulam utpāṭya bhrāmayām āsa vīryavān/ He heightened up his gigantic form further and having noticed around him a huge chunk of a mountain as fallen down as a boulder, pulled it and lifted on to his shoulders and hurled at the rakshasa with his mighty speed and force. Jamubumaali in his turn having noticed the boulder thrown by Hanuman, shot then mighty 'manatrika' arrows of ten in a forceful rainy form. Having noticed that the boulder got spilt up into parts, Anjana Putra kept on hurling at maha vrikshas in quick succession as a sequence run of a chain. bhrāmayantam kapim drstvā sālavrkṣam mahābalam, cikṣepa subahūn bāṇāñ jambumālī mahābalaḥ/ sālam caturbhir ciccheda vānaram pañcabhir bhuje, urasy ekena bānena daśabhis tu stanāntare/ sa śaraih pūritatanuh krodhena mahatā vṛtah, tam eva parigham gṛhya bhrāmayām āsa vegitah/ As Jambumali noticed that Hanuman was thus hurling huge trees in succession, then with equal agility, he rained his arrows too with matching agility. As the Rakshasa did so, four of his arrows smashed down the 'saala vrikshaas', five hit the massive hands of Hanuman, one hit his chest and ten on his nipples. ativegena bhrāmavitvā balotkatah, parigham pātayām āsa jambumāler mahorasi/ tasya caiva śiro nāsti na bāhū na ca jānunī, na dhanur na ratho nāśvās tatrādṛśyanta neṣavaḥ/ sa hatas tarasā tena jambumālī mahārathaḥ, papāta nihato bhūmau cūrnitāngavibhūsanah/ Maha Vanara Veeraanjaneya was infuriated as never before, he picked up his parigha once again and hurled it with unimaginable 'vayu vega'at Jambumali's chest, and again on his broad head and knees. Thus neither Jambumaali's dhanush, nor the donkey chariot, nor the donkeys were visible. Then the maha rakshasa fell down to earth with a huge sound of thud. jambumālim ca nihatam kimkarāms ca mahābalān, cukrodha rāvaṇaḥ śrutvā kopasamraktalocanaḥ/ sa roṣasamvartita tāmralocanaḥ; prahastaputre nihate mahābale, amātyaputrān ativīryavikramān; samādideśāśu niśācareśvarah/As he got the message of death of Jambulali the outstanding rakshasa with proven fame of a great archery, besides the kinkara rakshas of eighty thousand, Ravanasura went into mad rant and rave with vengenful 'prateekara' and ordered his 'mantri putras' to demolish Anjaneya.

Sarga Forty Five

As Hanuman successevily killed Kinkaras and Jambumaali and demolished Pramadaavana and Chatya Praasada along with inmates, enraged Ravana instructed the mighty sons of his Minsters to face Hanuman

Tatas te rāksasendrena coditā mantrinah sutāh, niryayur bhavanāt tasmāt sapta saptārcivarcasah/ mahābalaparīvārā dhanuşmanto mahābalāḥ, kṛtāstrāstravidām śresthāḥ parasparajayaiṣiṇaḥ/ hemajālapariksiptair dhvajavadbhih patākibhih, toyadasvananirghosair vājiyuktair mahārathaih/ taptakāñcanacitrāṇi cāpāny amitavikramāḥ, visphārayantaḥ samhṛṣṭās taḍidvanta ivāmbudāḥ/ jananyas tās tatas tesām viditvā kimkarān hatān, babhūvuh śokasambhrāntāh sabāndhavasuhrijanāh/ te parasparasamgharsās taptakāñcanabhūsanāh, abhipetur hanūmantam toranastham avasthitam/ srjanto bāṇavṛṣṭim te rathagarjitaniḥsvanāḥ, vṛṣṭimanta ivāmbhodā vicerur nairṛtarṣabhāḥ/ avakīrṇas tatas tābhir hanūmāñ śaravṛstibhih, abhavat saṃvṛtākārah śailarād iva vṛstibhih/ sa śarān vañcayām āsa tesām āśucarah kapih, rathavegāmś ca vīrānām vicaran vimale 'mbare/ sa taih krīdan dhanusmadbhir vyomni vīraḥ prakāśate, dhanuṣmadbhir yathā meghair mārutaḥ prabhur ambare/ sa kṛtvā ninadam ghoram trāsayams tām mahācamūm, cakāra hanumān vegam teşu rakṣaḥsu vīryavān/ talenābhihanat kām's cit pādaiḥ kām's cit paramtapaḥ, muṣṭinābhyahanat kām's cin nakhaiḥ kām's cid vyadārayat/ pramamāthorasā kām's cid ūrubhyām aparān kapiḥ, ke cit tasyaiva nādena tatraiva patitā bhuvi/ tatas teşv avapanneşu bhūmau nipatiteşu ca, tat sainyam agamat sarvam diśo daśabhayārditam/ vinedur visvaram nāgā nipetur bhuvi vājinah, bhagnanīdadhvajacchatrair bhūś ca kīrnābhavad rathaih/ sa tān pravrddhān vinihatya rāksasān; mahābalaś candaparākramah kapih, yuyutsur anyaih punar eva rākṣasais; tad eva vīro 'bhijagāma toraṇam/

As instructed by the Rakshasa Raja Ravana, the seven youthful and renowned warrior sons of Ravana's Ministers, the latter emerged out of the Raja Mahal. All of them had the backing of their own regiments and their own chariots with their own 'dhvaja pataakaas' symbolizing their individual regiments. All of them encircled Anjana Putra suddenly raining away their individual arrows, even as the resounding chariots added to the lion like roarings at once. While deftly evading the rains of arrows of the over enthusiastic Mantri Kumaras, Hanuman was merely allowing their wasted arrows just a huge mountain has very little impact of normal rains. sa taih krīdan dhanuşmadbhir vyomni vīrah prakāśate, dhanusmadbhir yathā meghair mārutah prabhur ambare/ sa krtvā ninadam ghoram trāsayams tām mahācamūm, cakāra hanumān vegam tesu raksahsu vīryavān/ Just as the Maha Shaktishaali Vayudeva plays with the clouds glittering with Indra Dhanush like lightnings do transmit 'megha garjanaas', Anjaneya was rather playful with the Mantri Kumaras. talenābhihanat kām's cit pādaih kām's cit paramtapah, mustinābhyahanat kām's cin nakhaih kām's cid vyadārayat/ pramamāthorasā kām's cid ūrubhyām aparān kapih, ke cit tasyaiva nādena tatraiva patitā bhuvi/ tatas teṣv avapanneṣu bhūmau nipatiteşu ca, tat sainyam agamat sarvam diśo daśabhayārditam/ Thus the Maha Vanara Veera Hanuman made a series of startling jumps on to the chariots at each of the Mantri Kumaras and slapped to the death of one of them, kicked another by his strong legs on the head of another with force to death, fisted on another's chest to death, tearing yet another with his sharp finger nails of his mighty hands and feet and so on, by assuming a mountainous swarupa. The rakshasa sena of the Mantri Kumaras got demoralised with the frightening deaths of their leaders and ran away helter skelter. vinedur visvaram nāgā nipetur bhuvi vājinaḥ, bhagnanīḍadhvajacchatrair bhūś ca kīrṇābhavad rathaiḥ/ sa tān pravṛddhān vinihatya rākṣasān; mahābalaś caṇḍaparākramaḥ kapiḥ, yuyutsur anyaiḥ punar eva rākṣasais; tad eva vīro 'bhijagāma toraṇam/ Then the elephants and horses to disappeared and the sound of crumbing crashes of the ratha dhwajas added to the chaos. All over the battle field there was flows of blood and it appeared that a sizeable part of Lankapuri was getting demolished, even as Maha Vanara Veera Hanuman was awaiting such other further onslaughts.

Sarga Forty Six

With successive deaths of his select Rakshasa Veeras, Ravanasura had wondered that even one Vanara of Hanuman demoralised him as a wake up call and despatched his five Senapatis who too were killed!

Hatān mantrisutān buddhvā vānarena mahātmanā, rāvanah samvrtākāraś cakāra matim uttamām/ sa virūpāksayūpāksau durdharam caiva rāksasam, praghasam bhāsakarnam ca pañcasenāgranāyakān/ samdideśa daśagrīvo vīrān nayaviśāradān, hanūmadgrahane vyagrān vāyuvegasamān yudhi/ yāta senāgragāh sarve mahābalaparigrahāh, savājirathamātangāh sa kapih śāsyatām iti/ yat taiś ca khalu bhāvyam syāt tam āsādya vanālayam, karma cāpi samādheyam deśakālavirodhitam/ na hy aham tam kapim manye karmanā pratitarkayan, sarvathā tan mahad bhūtam mahābalaparigraham, bhaved indrena vā srstam asmadartham tapobalāt/ sanāgayaksagandharvā devāsuramaharsayah, yusmābhih sahitaih sarvair mayā saha vinirjitāh/ tair avaśyam vidhātavyam vyalīkam kim cid eya nah, tad eya nātra samdehaḥ prasahya parigṛhyatām/ nāvamanyo bhavadbhiś ca hariḥ krūraparākramaḥ, dṛṣṭā hi harayaḥ śīghrā mayā vipulavikramāh/ vālī ca saha sugrīvo jāmbavāms ca mahābalah, nīlah senāpatis caiva ye cānye dvividādayah/ naiva tesām gatir bhīmā na tejo na parākramah, na matir na balotsāho na rūpaparikalpanam/ mahat sattvam idam jñeyam kapirūpam vyavasthitam, prayatnam mahad āsthāya kriyatām asya nigrahah/kāmam lokās trayah sendrāh sasurāsuramānavāh, bhavatām agratah sthātum na paryāptā raṇājire/ tathāpi tu nayajñena jayam ākānkṣatā raṇe, ātmā rakṣyaḥ prayatnena yuddhasiddhir hi cañcalā/ te svāmivacanam sarve pratigrhya mahaujasah, samutpetur mahāvegā hutāśasamatejasaḥ/ rathaiś ca mattair nāgaiś ca vājibhiś ca mahājavaiḥ, śastraiś ca vividhais tīkṣṇaiḥ sarvaiś copacitā balaih/ tatas tam dadršur vīrā dīpyamānam mahākapim, raśmimantam ivodyantam svatejoraśmimālinam/ toranastham mahāvegam mahāsattvam mahābalam, mahāmatim mahotsāham mahākāyam mahābalam/ tam samīkṣyaiva te sarve dikṣu sarvāsv avasthitāh, tais taih praharanair bhīmair abhipetus tatas tatah/ tasva pañcāyasās tīksnāh sitāh pītamukhāh śarāh, śirasty utpalapatrābhā

durdharena nipātitāh/ sa taih pañcabhir āviddhah śaraih śirasi vānarah, utpapāta nadan vyomni diśo daśa vinādayan/ tatas tu durdharo vīrah sarathah sajjakārmukah, kirañ śaraśatair naikair abhipede mahābalah/ sa kapir vārayām āsa tam vyomni śaravarsinam, vrstimantam payodānte payodam iva mārutaḥ/ ardyamānas tatas tena durdhareṇānilātmajaḥ, cakāra ninadam bhūyo vyavardhata ca vegavān/ sa dūram sahasotpatya durdharasya rathe harih, nipapāta mahāvego vidyudrāśir girāv iva/ tatas tam mathitāṣṭāśvam ratham bhagnākṣakūvaram, vihāya nyapatad bhūmau durdharas tyaktajīvitaḥ/ tam virūpākṣayūpākṣau dṛṣṭvā nipatitam bhuvi, samjātaroṣau durdharṣāv utpetatur arimdamau/ sa tābhyām sahasotpatya visthito vimale 'mbare, mudgarābhyām mahābāhur vaksasy abhihatah kapih/ tayor vegavator vegam vinihatya mahābalah, nipapāta punar bhūmau suparnasamavikramah/ sa sālavrksam āsādya samutpātya ca vānarah, tāv ubhau rāksasau vīrau jaghāna pavanātmajah/ tatas tāms trīn hatāñ jñātvā vānarena tarasvinā, abhipede mahāvegah prasahya praghaso harim/ bhāsakarnaś ca samkruddhah śūlam ādāya vīryavān, ekatah kapiśārdūlam yaśasvinam avasthitau/ pattiśena śitāgrena praghasah pratyapothayat, bhāsakarṇaś ca śūlena rākṣasah kapisattamam/ sa tābhyām vikṣatair gātrair asrgdigdhatanūruhah, abhavad vānarah kruddho bālasūryasamaprabhah/ samutpātya gireh śrngam samrgavyālapādapam, jaghāna hanumān vīro rāksasau kapikuñjarah/ tatas tesv avasannesu senāpatisu pañcasu, balam tad avaśeṣam tu nāśayām āsa vānarah/ aśvair aśvān gajair nāgān yodhair yodhān rathai rathān, sa kapir nāśayām āsa sahasrākṣa ivāsurān/ hatair nāgaiś ca turagair bhagnākṣaiś ca mahārathaih, hataiś ca rāksasair bhūmī ruddhamārgā samantatah/ tatah kapis tān dhvajinīpatīn rane; nihatya vīrān sabalān savāhanān, tad eva vīrah parigrhya toranam; kṛtaksanah kāla iva prajāksaye/

On being intimated that the Mahaasura Mantri Putras along with their respective regimental senas too were annihilated as a child's play by a single Vaanara, Ravanasura was shocked and got jolted that even a massive vanara sena under the leadership of Sugriva if awaited along with Rama Lakshmanas the known archery experts might indeed uproot the Lanka Samrajya. He then decided to instruct the five Senapatis along with their respective senas too to bring Anjaneya to the very face of Mrityu for the time being, without getting concerened of the future eventualities. Accordingly, the five Senapatis viz. Virupaksha, Yupaksha, Durdhara, Prathasa, and Bhaasakarna, who were nor only Maha Rakshasa Veeras but also 'Neeti Nipunas' of the chaturvidha Upaayas of battle viz. mitra laabha-mitra bheda,sandhi and danda. T They addressed their respective senaas to utilise their horses, chariots, elephants and having subdued the Vanara to catch and subdue him and teach him a lesson. You must follow my instructions perfectly as there would follow the imposition of a punishment as per 'desha kaala paristhitis.' na hy aham tam kapim manye karmanā pratitarkayan, sarvathā tan mahad bhūtam mahābalaparigraham, bhaved indrena vā srstam asmadartham tapobalāt/ sanāgayaksagandharvā devāsuramaharsayah, yusmābhih sahitaih sarvair mayā saha vinirjitāh/ tair avasyam vidhātavyam vyalīkam kim cid eva nah, tad eva nātra samdehah prasahya parigrhyatām/ As one could seriously introspect, this Hanuman really does not truly be a mere Vanara with his familiar traits; indeed, he ought be a 'maha praani and maha bala sampanna' or a distinctive being with extraordinary powers of body and mind. At the same time, he need not be spared either. Considering the circumstantial evidences, he looks like to have been born as a result of deep tapasya of his originators. Probably Indra had in the past had performed his deep tapasya and got a praani manifested who could overpower yaksha-gandharva-deva-asura-maharshis even. In any case, this 'vaanara' is distinctively distinguished. Therefore, the uniform decision of we the senapatis of Ravana Rakshasa Sena must catch him alive. King Ravana's fore front sena! Your strict instruction to you all is to subdue this phenomenal enemy in the facade of a Vaarara Hunuman should be to catch him, overpower him and return with roaring success. nāvamanyo bhavadbhiś ca hariḥ krūraparākramaḥ, dṛṣṭā hi harayaḥ śīghrā mayā vipulavikramāh/ vālī ca saha sugrīvo jāmbavāms ca mahābalah, nīlah senāpatis caiva ye cānye dvividādayaḥ/ naiva teṣām gatir bhīmā na tejo na parākramaḥ, na matir na balotsāho na rūpaparikalpanam/ Considering that Hanuman is a Vanara only and ignore him and make fun of him either as our comboned assessment is an unusual 'dheera-paraakrami'. We have witnessed maha veeras like Vaali, Sugriva, Jambavan, Sena pati Neela and such parakranmis. They resemble normal monkeys yet are posseesed such qualities of fitness, dashing bravery, intrepidity, mental energy, and overflowing enthusiasm. mahat sattvam idam jñevam kapirūpam vyavasthitam, pravatnam mahad āsthāva krivatām

asya nigrahah/ kāmam lokās trayah sendrāh sasurāsuramānavāh, bhavatām agratah sthātum na paryāptā raṇājire/ tathāpi tu nayajñena jayam ākānkṣatā raṇe, ātmā rakṣyaḥ prayatnena yuddhasiddhir hi cañcalā/You rakshas soldiers! You should therefore realise that in the guise of Vanaras, 'maha shakti shaalis' are hidden behind and having thus realised do make all out endeavours to surround and catch him red handed and bring him. We are fully aware that on the ballle front, even devatas headed by Indra, or asuras, other celestial beings, much less of manushyas, you had always brought our King Ravana to glory. Yet as per the fundamental principles of 'Neeti', you must be defensive too as the outcome of a battle is like a 'knife on a sensitive balance' invariably te svāmivacanam sarve pratigrhya mahaujasah, samutpetur mahāvegā hutāśasamatejasah/rathaiś ca mattair nāgaiś ca vājibhiś ca mahājavaih, śastraiś ca vividhais tīksnaih sarvaiś copacitā balaih/Therefore according the instruction of King Rayana, you maha rakshasa veeraas of 'shakti and yukti' must make all out and desperate efforts to surround and subdue the Maha Veera who too even being single might not hoodwink you to slipby'. Such was the elaborate and detailed briefing to the enormity of Ravana Sena by the respective Senapatis. tatas tam dadrsur vīrā dīpyamānam mahākapim, rasmimantam ivodyantam svatejorasmimālinam/toraņastham mahāvegam mahāsattvam mahābalam, mahāmatim mahotsāham mahākāvam mahābalam/ tam samīkṣyaiva te sarve dikṣu sarvāsv avasthitāḥ, tais taiḥ praharaṇair bhīmair abhipetus tatas tataḥ/ As Maha Kapi Anjaneya saw the Rakshasa Veeras initiated approaching him, he stood up erect and ready as the enemies looked full of shakti-bala-vega-buddhi-utsaaha-and of huge physical forms. Instantly they initiated raining arrows aimed at him. On nearing him, they aimed at his head as his iron parigha was already in position there in defence. They appeared to have already protected themselves with sheaths of their lions. Then they initiated action by raining non stop releases of their arrows and despite his parigha being propective of his head, five arrows managed to hit his head. tasya pañcāyasās tīkṣṇāḥ sitāḥ pītamukhāh śarāḥ, śirasty utpalapatrābhā durdhareṇa nipātitāḥ/ sa taiḥ pañcabhir āviddhaḥ śaraiḥ śirasi vānarah, utpapāta nadan vyomni diśo daśa vinādayan/ tatas tu durdharo vīrah sarathah sajjakārmukah, kirañ śaraśatair naikair abhipede mahābalah/Thus the five 'baanaas' hit his head, he jumped up high skyward and made a roaring like a 'megha garjana' which got resounded from the ten directions. Then the maha rakshasa seated on the chariot released hundred and odd arrows while dashing off towards Hanuman. Yet like the end of the varsha ritu, the rough and rigid clouds resist and dodge the rains, Hanuman self protected himself deftly. ardyamānas tatas tena durdhareṇānilātmajah, cakāra ninadam bhūyo vyavardhata ca vegavān/ sa dūram sahasotpatya durdharasya rathe hariḥ, nipapāta mahāvego vidyudrāśir girāv iva/ tatas tam mathitāstāśvam ratham bhagnāksakūvaram, vihāya nyapatad bhūmau durdharas tyaktajīvitah/ As the Durdhara Rakshasa increased tha pace of his arrows against Hanuman, then he roared again and again and assumed a collosal form and jumped off considerable distance. Veera Hanuman then attacked the rakshasa, the latter jumped off from the chariot and yet resuming the arrow releases still hopeful of the gatherings of lightnings might still hit a huge mountain while maha veera Hanuman hit Durdhara's head to pieces. Then two of the more intrepid rakshasaas named Dhurdharsha and Virupaksha jumped up high enough at the huge form of the Vanarashiromani's chest and sought to hit it by their 'mudgaras'. But having cleverly dodged the hit once again, Hanumam like Garuda Deva swooped down to earth again. sa sālavrkṣam āsādya samutpāṭya ca vānaraḥ, tāv ubhau rākṣasau vīrau jaghāna pavanātmajaḥ/ tatas tāms trīn hatāñ jñātvā vānareṇa tarasvinā, abhipede mahāvegah prasahya praghaso harim/ bhāsakarnaś ca samkruddhah śūlam ādāya vīryavān, ekatah kapiśārdūlam yaśasvinam avasthitau/ He then pulled up and uprooted a 'maha saala vriksha'and smashed the heads of Dhurdharsha and Virupaaksha. As the 'vegashali maha vaanara veera' Hanuman killed Durdhara- Dhurdarsha-and Virupalsha in a series, another Rakshasa named Prathasa who too had the ability of speed approached Hanuman with an affected smile. From another side approached Bhaasakarna with rage and with a sharp 'shula'. As both the rakshasaas were left and right of Veera Hanuman and sought to hurt Veera Hanuman simultaneously; then the Maha Vaanara was hurt by Bhaskarna's pattisha and Pradhasa with a paattisha and Bhasakarna with the shula almost simultaneously. sa tābhyām viksatair gātrair asrgdigdhatanūruhah, abhavad vānarah kruddho bālasūryasamaprabhah/ samutpātya gireh śṛṅgam samṛgavyālapādapam, jaghāna hanumān vīro rākṣasau kapikuñjaraḥ/ As both the Rakshasaas hurt the Vanara Veera, his hairy body received cuts at places bleeding; then the maha vaanara veera

Hanuman suffered blisters with oozing blood and was incensed up with his face was like the early morning Surya Deva gets extreme redness. Then soon enough, he pulled and lifted a mountain top full of huge trees, forest animals and crawling cobras and hurled on the heads of Pradhasa and Bhaskarna to death. tatas teṣv avasanneṣu senāpatiṣu pañcasu, balam tad avaśeṣam tu nāśayām āsa vānaraḥ/ aśvair aśvān gajair nāgān yodhair yodhān rathai rathān, sa kapir nāśayām āsa sahasrākṣa ivāsurān/hatair nāgaiś ca turagair bhagnākṣaiś ca mahārathaiḥ, hataiś ca rākṣasair bhūmī ruddhamārgā samantataḥ/Thus the Maha Vanara killed all the Senapatis of Ravana Sena and cleared the remaining rakshasa soldiers too who had either ran away or were cleared to death. Just as Deva Raja Indra would kill the Asuras by their mutual killings, Hanuman too forced mutual killings of horses against horses, elephants against elephants and asura yoddhhas against each other too. Thus the battle field was inaccessible as blood was flowing, corpses and carcasses were surfiet. tataḥ kapis tān dhvajinīpatīn rane; nihatya vīrān sabalān savāhanān, tad eva vīraḥ parigṛhya toraṇam; kṛtakṣaṇaḥ kāla iva prajākṣaye/ In this manner, the Five Senapatis and their army force were despatched to annihilation by singular Hanuman while the Lankapuri citizens were shivering with fear whether their turn might be round the corner too!

Sarga Forty Seven

Anxiously awaiting Hanuman's destruction by the Five Senapatis and army forces, Ravana got negative messages. As he was dismayed, his son Akshaya Kumara, well versed in war tactics, then too his turn.

Senāpatīn pañca sa tu pramāpitān; hanūmatā sānucarān savāhanān, samīkṣya rājā samaroddhaton mukham; kumāram aksam prasamaiksatāksatam/ sa tasya drstyarpanasampracoditah; pratāpavān kāñcanacitrakārmukah, samutpapātātha sadasy udīrito; dvijātimukhyair haviseva pāvakah/ tato mahad bāladivākaraprabham; prataptajāmbūnadajālasamtatam, rathām samāsthāya yayau sa vīryavān; mahāharim tam prati nairrtarsabhah/ tatas tapahsamgrahasamcayārjitam; prataptajāmbūnada jālaśobhitam, patākinam ratnavibhūṣitadhvajam; manojavāṣṭāśvavaraiḥ suyojitam/ surāsurādhṛṣyam asamgacārinam; raviprabham vyomacaram samāhitam, satūnam astāsinibaddhabandhuram; vathākramāveśitaśaktitomaram/ virājamānam pratipūrnavastunā; sahemadāmnā śaśisūryavarvasā, divākarābham ratham āsthitas tataḥ; sa nirjagāmāmaratulyavikramaḥ/ sa pūrayan kham ca mahīm ca sācalām; turamgamatangamahārathasvanaih, balaih sametaih sa hi toranasthitam; samartham āsīnam upāgamat kapim/ sa tam samāsādya harim harīksano; yugāntakālāgnim iva prajāksaye, avasthitam vismitajātasambhramah; samaiksatākso bahumānacaksusā/ sa tasya vegam ca kaper mahātmanah; parākramam cārisu pārthivātmajah, vicārayan kham ca balam mahābalo; himaksaye sūrya ivābhivardhate/ sa jātamanyuḥ prasamīkṣya vikramam; sthiraḥ sthitaḥ samyati durnivāraṇam, samāhitātmā hanumantam āhave; pracodayām āsa śarais tribhih śitaih/ tataḥ kapim tam prasamīkṣya garvitam; jitaśramam śatruparājayor jitam, avaikṣatākṣaḥ samudīrṇamānasaḥ; sabāṇapāṇiḥ pragrhītakārmukah/ sa hemaniskāngadacārukundalah; samāsasādāśu parākramah kapim, tayor babhūvāpratimah samāgamah; surāsurānām api sambhramapradah/ rarāsa bhūmir na tatāpa bhānumān; vavau na vāyuḥ pracacāla cācalaḥ, kapeḥ kumārasya ca vīkṣya samyugam; nanāda ca dyaur udadhiś ca cuksubhe/ tatah sa vīrah sumukhān patatrinah; suvarnapunkhān savisān ivoragān, samādhisamyogavimoksatattvavic; charān atha trīn kapimūrdhny apātayat/ sa taih śarair mūrdhni samam nipātitaih; ksarann asrgdigdhavivrttalocanah, navoditādityanibhah śarāmśumān; vyarājatāditya ivāmsumālikah/ tatah sa pingādhipamantrisattamah; samīksya tam rājavarātmajam raņe, udagracitrāyudhacitrakārmukam; jaharṣa cāpūryata cāhavonmukhaḥ/ sa mandarāgrastha ivāmśumālī; vivṛddhakopo balavīryasamyutaḥ, kumāram akṣam sabalam savāhanam; dadāha netrāgnimarīcibhis tadā/ tataḥ sa bāṇāsanaśakrakārmukaḥ; śarapravarṣo yudhi rākṣasāmbudaḥ/ śarān mumocāśu harīśvarācale; balāhako vṛstim ivācalottame/ tatah kapis tam ranacandavikramam; vivrddhatejobalavīryasāyakam, kumāram aksam prasamīksya samyuge; nanāda harsād ghanatulya vikramaḥ/ sa bālabhāvād yudhi vīryadarpitaḥ; pravrddhamanyuḥ kṣatajopamekṣaṇaḥ, samāsasādā pratimam rane kapim; gajo mahākūpam ivāvrtam trnaih/ sa tena bānaih prasabham nipātitais; cakāra

nādam ghananādanihsvanah, samutpapātāśu nabhah sa mārutir; bhujoruviksepana ghoradarśanah/samutpatantam samabhidravad balī; sa rāksasānām pravarah pratāpavān, rathī rathaśresthatamah kirañ śaraih; payodharah śailam ivāśmavṛṣṭibhih/ sa tāñ śarāms tasya vimokṣayan kapiś; cacāra vīrah pathi vāyusevite, śarāntare mārutavad vinispatan; manojavah samyati candavikramah/ tam āttabānāsanam āhavonmukham; kham āstrnantam vividhaih śarottamaih, avaikṣatākṣam bahumānacakṣuṣā; jagāma cintām ca sa mārutātmajah/ tataḥ śarair bhinnabhujāntaraḥ kapiḥ; kumāravaryeṇa mahātmanā nadan, mahābhujaḥ karmaviśeṣatattvavid; vicintayām āsa raṇe parākramam/ abālavad bāladivākaraprabhah; karoty ayam karma mahan mahābalah, na cāsya sarvāhavakarmaśobhinah; pramāpane me matir atra jāyate/ ayam mahātmā ca mahāmś ca vīryatah; samāhitas cātisahas ca samyuge, asamsayam karmagunodayād ayam; sanāgayaksair munibhis ca pūjitah/ parākramotsāhavivrddhamānasah; samīksate mām pramukhāgatah sthitah, parākramo hy asva manāmsi kampayet; surāsurānām api śīghrakārinah/ na khalv ayam nābhibhaved upeksitah; parākramo hy asya rane vivardhate, pramāpanam tv eva mamāsya rocate; na vardhamāno 'gnir upekṣitum kṣamaḥ/ iti pravegam tu parasya tarkayan; svakarmayogam ca vidhāya vīryavān, cakāra vegam tu mahābalas tadā; matim ca cakre 'sva vadhe mahākapih/ sa tasva tān astahavān mahājavān; samāhitān bhārasahān vivartane, jaghāna vīraḥ pathi vāyusevite; talaprahālaiḥ pavanātmajaḥ kapiḥ/ tatas talenābhihato mahārathaḥ; sa tasya pingādhipamantrinirjitaḥ, sa bhagnanīḍaḥ parimuktakūbaraḥ; papāta bhūmau hatavājir ambarāt/ sa tam parityajya mahāratho ratham; sakārmukah khadgadharah kham utpatat, tapo'bhiyogād rsir ugravīryavān; vihāya deham marutām ivālayam/ tatah kapis tam vicarantam ambare; patatrirājānilasiddhasevite, sametya tam mārutavegavikramah; krameņa jagrāha ca pādayor draham/ sa tam samāvidhya sahasraśaḥ kapir; mahoragam grhya ivāṇḍajeśvaraḥ, mumoca vegāt pitrtulyavikramo; mahītale saṃvati vānarottamah/ sa bhagnabāhūrukatīśiro dharah; ksarann asrn nirmathitāsthilocanah, sa bhinnasamdhih pravikīrna -bandhano; hatah ksitau vāvusutena rāksasah/ mahākapir bhūmitale nipīdya tam; cakāra rakso'dhipater mahad bhayam/ maharsibhiś cakracarair mahāvrataih; sametya bhūtaiś ca sayaksapannagaih, suraiś ca sendrair bhṛśajātavismayair; hate kumāre sa kapir nirīksitah/ nihatya tam vajrasutopamaprabham; kumāram aksam ksatajopameksanam, tad eva vīro 'bhijagāma toranam; krtakşanah kāla iva prajākşaye/

As even the five Senapatis and sena were shattered by Hanuman, Rayana looked at his son Akshaya Kumara who was ably trained in the art of big battles even against celestial beings. Inspired at the looks of his father encouragingly, the Kumara was readily enthusiastic as though shreshtha brahmana panditas rise to make their offerings of 'havishaanna' to Agni Deva. He then proceeded to that very place where the Vanara Yoddha was located. The Kumara had the erstwhile popularity of having performed long tapasya and accomplished a 'maha dhwaja' of gold studded with glittering nava ratnas hoisted on his famed chariot which was reputed as unbreakable and driven by illustrious horses flying high on the sky and earth alike. Having arrived at the very spot where Hanuman stood up smilingly, Akshaya Kumara gave such a conceited look at him as though pralaya kaala Surya looks down on the earth ready for extinction at the 'yugantara kaala'. Veera Hanuman ever ready for the battle returned an exremely incensed look at the rakshasa veera kumara. By hitting the air above with his three rows of arrows suggestively inviting Anjaneya for the battle, Akshaya Kumara provoked the invincible vanara veera. While the Kumara weaaring a glittering golden necklace, karna kundalas, and so on proceeded to Veera Hanuman; indeed when ever asuras or devatas encountered the Kumara, they were invariably apprehensive of their own safety and survival. His manner of raising his bow and releasing his arrows with incredible precision were popular. Now in the present encounter of Kapishreshtha Hanuman and Akshaya Kumara, it appears bhutala vaasis appear to be alarmed, Surya's tejas dimmed and Vayu Deva's speed slowed down. Then Veera Kumara who was an outstanding expert in the style of release shot three initial arrows on Hanuman's head. Instantly there were flows of blood trickling down his shoulders. Then Hanuman felt somewhat dazed and initiated enlarging and heightening his body. sa mandarāgrastha ivāmsumālī; vivrddhakopo balavīryasamyutah, kumāram aksam sabalam savāhanam; dadāha netrāgnimarīcibhis tadā/ tataḥ sa bāṇāsanaśakrakārmukaḥ; śarapravarṣo yudhi rākṣasāmbudaḥ/ śarān mumocāśu harīśvarācale; balāhako vrstim ivācalottame/He was infuriated further and further and his

'bala paraakraas' too got strengthened and his very harsh looks at Akshaya Kumara were such that the latter would be turning to ashes. Then the Kumara showered his arrows on Hanuman like thick clouds on the sky releases torrential rains on the mountain like body of Hanuman. Kapistastam ranacandavikramam; vivrddhatejobalavīryasāyakam, kumāram akṣam prasamīkṣya samyuge; nanāda harṣād ghanatulya -vikramah/ sa bālabhāvād yudhi vīryadarpitah; prayrddhamanyuh ksatajopameksanah, samāsasādā -pratimam raņe kapim; gajo mahākūpam ivāvṛtam tṛṇaih/On the battle front, Akshaya Kumara's prowess and dexterity appeared unparalleled. So were his tejas, bala, parakrama and the manner of lifting his arrow were truly appreciated by Hanunan too. But then the latter made a 'simha garjana'which provoked Akshaya all the more. His eyes were like spills over of blood. Due to his non realisation on what Anjaneya was truly like, he sought to advance himself further on towards the Maha Vaanara. sa tena bānaih prasabham nipātitais; cakāra nādam ghananādanihsvanah, samutpapātāsu nabhah sa mārutir; bhujoruviksepana ghoradarśanah/ samutpatantam samabhidravad balī; sa rākṣasānām pravaraḥ pratāpavān, rathī rathaśreṣṭhatamaḥ kirañ śaraiḥ; payodharaḥ śailam ivāśmavṛṣṭibhih/As provoked by Anjaneya's simha garjana, the arrogant and over confident Akshaya Kumara, totally unaware of Veera Hanuman's unchallengeable prowess, his utilised all his strength and started raining arrows on the mighty opponent. Hanuman got infuriated and having roared again, started jumping up all across the high skies. But, Akshaya Kumara too continued releasing his arrows with equal agility followed the ever jumping Anjaneya as if sky high clouds of density chased the mountainous profile of Hanuman. Then Hanuman's flashes of his thoughts: 'doubtless, Akshaya Kumara is an extremely capable arrowsman and it should be ruthless for him to be decimated without mercy; yet, he ought not be allowed to survive any further as the very purpose of the arduous task on hand. na khalv ayam nābhibhaved upekṣitaḥ; parākramo hy asya raṇe vivardhate, pramāpaṇam tv eva mamāsya rocate; na vardhamāno 'gnir upeksitum ksamah/ iti pravegam tu parasya tarkayan; svakarmayogam ca vidhāya vīryavān, cakāra vegam tu mahābalas tadā; matim ca cakre 'sya vadhe mahākapih/ sa tasya tān astahayān mahājavān; samāhitān bhārasahān vivartane, jaghāna vīrah pathi vāyusevite; talaprahālaih pavanātmajah kapih/Therefore, if out of my mercifulness, the Ravana Kumara now on the very enthusiastic mental frame work should not be allowed to cross his excusable limits as he is now at the peak of his pride and foolhardiness. Thus having deeply introspected, Veera Anjaneya had increased the velocity of his 'vaavu vega' and decided to resort to 'shatru samhara'. Then, Veera Anjaneya already in the skies hit the eight horses of Ravana Kumara's chariot by which the incessant 'baana prayogas' and thus desptched the horses to yama loka. tatas talenābhihato mahārathah; sa tasya pingādhipa mantrinirjitah, sa bhagnanīdah parimuktakūbarah; papāta bhūmau hatavājir ambarāt/ sa tam parityajya mahāratho ratham; sakārmukah khadgadharah kham utpatat, tapo'bhiyogād rsir ugravīryavān; vihāya deham marutām ivālayam/ tatah kapis tam vicarantam ambare; patatrirājānilasiddhasevite, sametya tam mārutavegavikramaḥ; krameṇa jagrāha ca pādayor drdham/ Then the great Prime Minister of Vaanara King Sugriva demolished the Akshaya Kumara's chariot as also the maha dhwaja which was one of Akshya's proud accomplishment pursuant to his deep tapasya. Then the Maha Rathi Akshaya Kumars jumped of his chariot with his dhanush and sword and jumped high on the sky, just as maha yogis would have discarded their bodies to the lokas above. Then Vayu Putra Anjaneva acceletated his 'vaayu yega' and swooped like Garuda Deva and faced Akshaya Kumara and held the Kumaras's feet firmly. sa tam samāvidhya sahasrasah kapir; mahoragam grhya ivāndajesvarah, mumoca vegāt pitrtulyavikramo; mahītale samyati vānarottamah/ Then like his father Vaayu Deva having got the grip of Akshaya Kumaras's body stood up, lifted Akshaya Kumaras's youthful body and like Garuda Deva would toss poisonous cobras with their tails, hurled the body severely down to the battle ground. sa bhagnabāhūrukaṭīśiro dharaḥ; kṣarann asṛn nirmathitāsthilocanaḥ, sa bhinnasaṁdhiḥ pravikīrņabandhano; hatah kşitau vāyusutena rākşasah/ As the body was thrown down, Akshaya Kumara the Ravana Putra, got split up and his shoulders, hands, chest etc. were broken, his sharp eyes sprouted out, and the nasa- needi bandhanas were shattered. Thus Pavan Kumara had successfully demolished Akshya Kumara the younger son of Ravanaasura. mahākapir bhūmitale nipīdya tam; cakāra rakşo'dhipater mahad bhayam/maharşibhiś cakracarair mahāvrataih; sametya bhūtaiś ca savaksapannagaih, suraiś ca sendrair bhrśajātavismavair; hate kumāre sa kapir nirīksitah/ nihatva tam

vajrasutopamaprabham; kumāram akṣam kṣatajopamekṣaṇam, tad eva vīro 'bhijagāma toraṇam; kṛtakṣaṇaḥ kāla iva prajākṣaye/ As Ravana realised the death of his son by Hanuman, Ravana got jitters in his heart. But Maharshis who were used to travel in the 'nakshatra mandali', even as Indra and Devatas were proud of Vayu Putra Hanuman, witnessed the 'going ons' and blessed the latter with flashes of their darshan of the hero who was full of their grace in extreme humility. Then Veera Hanuman reappeared at the thresholds of Ashoka Vatika for further encounters by Ravana and his followers.

Sarga Forty Eight

Shattered with putra shoka and humiliation, Ravana asked Indrajit to use his brahmastra to end up the menace of Hanuman and save the Rakshasa Samrajya and his personal prestige and fame at stake!

Tatas tu rakşo'dhipatir mahātmā; hanūmatākṣe nihate kumāre, manaḥ samādhāya tadendrakalpam; samādideśendrajitam sa roṣāt/ tvam astravic chastrabhṛtām variṣṭhaḥ; surāsurāṇām api śokadātā, sureṣu sendresu ca drstakarmā; pitāmahārādhanasamcitāstrah/ tavāstrabalam āsādva nāsurā na marudganāh, na kaś cit trişu lokeşu samyuge na gataśramah/ bhujavīryābhiguptaś ca tapasā cābhiraksitah, deśakāla vibhāgajñas tvam eva matisattamaḥ/ na te 'sty aśakyam samareşu karmaṇā; na te 'sty akāryam matipūrvamantrane/ na so 'sti kaś cit trisu samgrahesu vai; na veda vas te 'strabalam balam ca te/ mamānurūpam tapaso balam ca te; parākramas cāstrabalam ca samyuge/ na tvām samāsādya raṇāvamarde; manah śramam gacchati niścitārtham/ nihatā imkarāḥ sarve jambumālī ca rākṣasaḥ, amātyaputrā vīrās ca pañca senāgrayāyinaļ/ sahodaras te dayitaļ kumāro 'kṣas' ca sūditaļ, na tu teṣv eva me sāro yas tvayy ariniṣūdana/ idam hi dṛṣṭvā matiman mahad balam; kapeḥ prabhāvam ca parākramam ca, tvam ātmanaś cāpi samīksya sāram; kurusva vegam svabalānurūpam/ balāvamardas tvayi samnikṛste; yathā gate śāmyati śāntaśatrau, tathā samīksyātmabalam param ca; samārabhasvāstra -vidām varistha/ na khalv iyam matih śresthā vat tvām sampresayāmy aham, iyam ca rājadharmānām ksatrasya ca matir matā/ nānāśastraiś ca saṃgrāme vaiśāradyam arimdama, avaśyam eva boddhavyam kāmyaś ca vijayo rane/ tatah pitus tad vacanam niśamya; pradaksinam daksasutaprabhāvah, cakāra bhartāram adīnasattvo; ranāva vīrah pratipannabuddhih/ tatas taih svaganair istair indrajit pratipūjitah/ yuddhoddhatakrtotsāhaḥ samgrāmam pratipadyata/ śrīmān padmapalāśākṣo rākṣasādhipateḥ sutaḥ, nirjagāma mahātejāh samudra iva parvasu/ sa pakṣi rājopamatulyavegair; vyālaiś caturbhih sitatīksnadamstraih, ratham samāyuktam asamgavegam; samārurohendrajid indrakalpah/ sa rathī dhanvinām śresthah śastrajño 'stravidām varah, rathenābhiyayau ksipram hanūmān yatra so 'bhavat/ sa tasya rathanirghosam jyāsvanam kārmukasya ca, niśamya harivīro 'sau samprahrstataro 'bhavat' sumahac cāpam ādāya śitaśalyāmś ca sāyakān, hanūmantam abhipretya jagāma ranapanditah/ tasmims tatah samyati jātaharşe; raṇāya nirgacchati bāṇapāṇau, diśaś ca sarvāh kaluṣā babhūvur; mṛgāś ca raudrā bahudhā vineduh/ samāgatās tatra tu nāgayakṣā; maharṣayaś cakracarāś ca siddhāḥ, nabhah samāvṛtya ca pakṣisamghā; vinedur uccaiḥ paramaprahṛṣṭāḥ/ āyantam saratham dṛṣṭvā tūrṇam indrajitam kapih, vinanāda mahānādam vyavardhata ca vegavān/ indrajit tu ratham divvam āsthitas citrakārmukah, dhanur visphārayām āsa tadidūrjitanihsyanam/ tatah sametāv atitīksnavegau; mahābalau tau raṇanirviśankau, kapiś ca rakṣo'dhipateś ca putraḥ; surāsurendrāv iva baddhavairau/ sa tasya vīrasya mahārathasyā; dhanusmatah samyati sammatasya, śarapravegam vyahanat pravrddhaś; cacāra mārge pitur aprameyah/ tatah śarān āyatatīksnaśalyān; supatrinah kāñcanacitrapunkhān, mumoca vīrah paravīrahantā; susamtatān vajranipātavegān/ sa tasya tat syandananihsvanam ca; mṛdaṅgabherīpataha svanam ca, vikṛṣyamāṇasya ca kārmukasya; niśamya ghoṣam punar utpapāta/ śarāṇām antareṣv āśu vyavartata mahākapiḥ, haris tasyābhilakṣasya mokṣayaml lakṣyasamgraham/ śarāṇām agratas tasya punah samabhivartata, prasārya hastau hanumān utpapātānilātmajah/ tāv ubhau vegasampannau raṇakarmaviśāradau, sarvabhūtamanogrāhi cakratur yuddham uttamam/ hanūmato veda na rākṣaso 'ntaram; na mārutis tasya mahātmano 'ntaram, parasparam nirvisahau babhūvatuh; sametya tau devasamānavikramau/ tatas tu laksve sa vihanyamāne; śaresu moghesu ca sampatatsu, jagāma cintām mahatīm mahātmā; samādhisamyogasamāhitātmā/ tato matim rākṣasarājasūnuś; cakāra tasmin harivīramukhye, avadhyatām tasya kapeh samīksya; katham nigacched iti nigrahārtham/tatah

paitāmahām vīrah so 'stram astravidām varah, samdadhe sumahātejās tam haripravaram prati/ avadhyo 'yam iti jñātvā tam astrenāstratattvavit, nijagrāha mahābāhur mārutātmajam indrajit/ tena baddhas tato 'streņa rākṣasena sa vānaraḥ, abhavan nirviceṣṭaś ca papāta ca mahītale/ tato 'tha buddhvā sa tadāstrabandham; prabhoh prabhāvād vigatālpavegah, pitāmahānugraham ātmanas ca; vicintayām āsa haripravīrah/ tatah svāvambhuvair mantrair brahmāstram abhimantritam, hanūmāms cintavām āsa varadānam pitāmahāt/ na me 'strabandhasya ca śaktir asti; vimokṣaṇe lokaguroḥ prabhāvāt, ity evam evamvihito 'strabandho; mayātmayoner anuvartitavyaḥ/ sa vīryam astrasya kapir vicārya; pitāmahānugraham ātmanaś ca, vimoksaśaktim paricintavityā; pitāmahājñām anuvartate sma/ astrenāpi hi baddhasya bhayam mama na jāyate, pitāmahamahendrābhyām raksitasyānilena ca/grahane cāpi raksobhir mahan me gunadarsanam, rāksasendrena samvādas tasmād grhnantu mām pare/ sa niścitārthah paravīrahantā; samīksya karī vinivrttacestah, paraih prasahyābhigatair nigrhya; nanāda tais taih paribhartsyamānah/ tatas tam rāksasā drstvā nirvicestam arimdamam, babandhuh śanavalkaiś ca drumacīrais ca samhataih/sa rocayām āsa parais ca bandhanam; prasahya vīrair abhinigraham ca, kautūhalān mām yadi rākṣasendro; drastum vyavasyed iti niścitārthaḥ/ sa baddhas tena valkena vimukto 'strena vīrvavān, astrabandhah sa cānvam hi na bandham anuvartate/ athendrajit tam drumacīra bandham; vicārya vīraḥ kapisattamam tam, vimuktam astreṇa jagāma cintām; anyena baddho hy anuvartate 'stram/ aho maĥat karma kṛtam nirarthakam; na rākṣasair mantragatir vimṛṣṭā, punaś ca nāstre vihate 'stram anyat; pravartate samsayitāh sma sarve/ astrena hanumān mukto nātmānam avabudhyate, kṛṣyamānas tu raksobhis taiś ca bandhair nipīditah/ hanyamānas tatah krūrai rāksasaih kāṣṭhamuṣṭibhiḥ, samīpam rākṣasendrasya prākṛṣyata sa vānaraḥ/ athendrajit tam prasamīkṣya muktam; astrena baddham drumacīrasūtraih, vyadarśayat tatra mahābalam tam; haripravīram saganāya rājñe/ tam mattam iva mātangam baddham kapivarottamam, rākṣasā rākṣasendrāya rāvaṇāya nyavedayan/ ko 'yam kasya kuto vāpi kim kāryam ko vyapāśrayah, iti rāksasavīrānām tatra samjajñire kathāh/ hanyatām dahyatām vāpi bhaksyatām iti cāpare, rāksasās tatra samkruddhāh parasparam athābruvan/ atītya mārgam sahasā mahātmā; sa tatra rakso'dhipapādamūle, dadarśa rājñah paricārayrddhān; grham mahāratnavibhūsitam ca/ sa dadarśa mahātejā rāvanah kapisattamam, raksobhir vikṛtākāraih kṛṣyamāṇam itas tataḥ/ rākṣasādhipatim cāpi dadarśa kapisattamaḥ, tejobalasamāyuktam tapantam iva bhāskaram/ sa rosasamvartitatāmradrstir; daśānanas tam kapim anvaveksva/ athopavistān kulaśīlavrddhān; samādiśat tam prati mantramukhyān/ yathākramam taih sa kapiś ca prstah; kāryārtham arthasya ca mūlam ādau, nivedayām āsa harīśvarasya; dūtaḥ sakāśād aham āgato 'smi/

Partly grieved by the killing of his herioc, ever enthusiastic son Akshaya Kumara, as also a big and irrettrievable blow to his own personal glory, King Ravana looked at his elder son and stated: 'My dear Indrajit! You have the fame of securing countless 'astras' at your command pursuant to your tapasya to Brahma Deva. You are well versed 'astra vetta, shastra dhaari', and more essentially the tormentor of Indra and 'sarva devataa gana', and literally the unique 'Indra Jit'! In fact, Devatas-Marud ganas and all the celestials are truly afraid of your capabilities and personal victories. Viewed from the view point of the present 'desha-kaala viginana- paristhitis' you are indeed the best possible choice to boldly encounter the Vayu Putra. On the battle fields, you are indeed are invincible as per the established tenets of 'Shatraankula buddhi purvaka rajakeeyas' of kings of yore, with undisputable and firmly established keerti. If we review the recent events, the Kinkara Rakshasaas were devastated- Maha Jambuali was killed- the young and dashing sons of the Ministers of this Ravana Lanka Samrajya were killed-five senapatis along with their eveready maha rakshasa sena were decimated. Their elephants, horses and chariots were lost. sahodaras te dayitah kumāro 'kṣaś ca sūditah, na tu teṣv eva me sāro yas tvayy ariniṣūdana/ idam hi dṛṣṭvā matiman mahad balam; kapeḥ prabhāvam ca parākramam ca, tvam ātmanaś cāpi samīkṣya sāram; kuruṣva vegam svabalānurūpam/ balāvamardas tvayi samnikṛṣṭe; yathā gate śāmyati śāntaśatrau, tathā samīkṣyātmabalam param ca; samārabhasvāstra -vidām variṣṭha/Your dearmost younger brother Akshaya Kumarsa too was trapped to death. Now, happily my own in-born qualities of invincibility of trilokas, fame, and mental faculties as were present in me earlier have been now present in you now too in abundance. Keeping in the perspective of all these developments now, do make a proper assessment of this Vanara Hanuman, do make an honest effort to subdue him and possibly

kill him, even. Shastra dhaari Veera Indrajit! Do silence the thorn of the Lanka Samrajya on your own personal strength without referece of others [as of mine, Kumbhalarna and so on]. You need not take the maha rakshasa sena too, since that might divert and even dilute your personal attention, as the sena might have a tendency of getting demoralised too soon following the collapse of some, followed by the running away of others. Like wise, you need not assume rage and desperation either; much less take all your armoury like the Vajraayudha (since acquired from earlier from Indra), as the Vayu Putra's physical and mental faculties are beyond assessment and he is a standing proof against such devices. That Vanara is of 'Agni tulya sadhaka' and thus his abilities are incomprehensible. Try to digest all these precautions and concentrate on the enemy very carefully. Trust the glory of your own dhanush and the hidden shaktis of the 'mahastras'. Do proceed with extreme caution and extraordinary mental poise and display such 'paraakrama' as should never be frittered away! *na khalv iyam matih śresthā yat tvām sampresayāmy* aham, iyam ca rājadharmānām ksatrasya ca matir matā/ nānāśastraiś ca samgrāme vaiśāradyam arimdama, avaśyam eva boddhavyam kāmyaś ca vijayo rane/ Uttama buddhhi yukta maha veera! I am fully aware that I am exposing you to such impossible and dire and desperate situation and this is perhaps improper; but this specific action of mine is indeed as per ksatriya dharma and of 'Raja Neeti'. Shatru damana! A veera purusha should necessarily have to be equipped with the expertise of battle tactics for assured success.' Thus his father King Ravanaasura gave a serious and highly precautionary brief, Megha Naada Indrajit perfomed 'pradakshinas' around his dearmost father, philosopher, friend and guide proceeded to encounter Veera Hanuman, even as the rakshasa veeras cheered 'jaya jaya naadaas' with best wishes of safe and successful return from the battle field. Then Indrajit proceeded by a chariot drawn by four Lions with such speed akin to Garuda. He proceeded to where Veera Hanuman was comfortably seated awaiting the next batch of Asuras as per the directive of their King. As the anticipatory sounds of a chariot's arrival were heart, Hanuman was contented and alerted, yet with enthusiasm. Indrajit was indeed a well reputed in 'yuddha kala' or the art of battles. He proceeded with his 'dhanurbaanas' as his very few followers standing behind, while it appeared that all the directions were sullied with suspense, as the 'arta naadaas' of pashu pakshis were resounding the sky. Precisely at that time, Maha Naagas from the nether lokaas and yaksha-maharshi- siddha ganaas were agog with suspense in the nakshatra mandali high on the sky. As the Indraakaara Dhwaja was shining bright atop on the chariot approached Veera Hanuman, he heigtened his body frame, while simultaneously Rakshasa Kumara Megha made his 'dhanus-thamkaara'. The appropriate simile of that situation would be of Deva Raja Indra versus Bali Charavarti as the portented 'bandhana'! In their close encounter, Indrajit shot his arrows on the Maha Kaaya of Hanuman whish indeed were wasteful. At that juncture, the earth quaking sounds emitted by the chariot wheels as also the screechings of the suucessive releases of arrows of Meghanaada were like the receberations of sounds from mridangas and bheris! Panana Kumara being an expert in dodging the released arrows by his rapid jumpings. hanūmato veda na rākṣaso 'ntaram'; na mārutis tasya mahātmano 'ntaram, parasparam nirviṣahau babhūvatuḥ; sametya tau devasamāna vikramau/ Neither Rakshasa Indrajit was ceasing to resort to the raining of arrows targetting Hanuman, nor the skippings by Hanuman avoiding the hits of the arrows was stopped for long. Meghanaada's strange and often crooked baana prayogaas were thus being tiresomely wasted. Despite his extreme concentration, Meghanaada was continously releasing innumerable 'astras' repetitively but to little impact.Indeed, Veera Vaayu Putra Hanuman was immune from any of 'mantrika prayogaas' including Indra's Vajaastra, Vayavastra, Mohanaastra and so on.

[Vishleshana on Astra Vidya and illustrative 'Mantrika Astras

'Celestial missiles of danda chakra, dharma chakra, kaala chakra, vishnu chakra, and the most powerful Aindra chakra and the arts of application and throwing away of Indra's Vajrastra, Shiva Deva's trishula praharana, and Brahma's granted Aishikastra and Shira -cchedana astra was taught by Maharshi Vishvamitra to Rama Lakshmanas besides the magnificent vidya of 'gadaa praharana' or the art of battling with maces like 'modaki'- 'prahari'- shikhari of forcible applications of mace strokings, throwings and mace head rubbings. Then Vishmamitra taught the astras of 'dharma paasha-kaala paasha-

and varuna paasha'. Subsequently they were taught two kinds of dry and wet rounded applications of astras viz. 'ashani- pinaka-narayanaastras'. Then Rama Lakshmanas were taught Agneyastra fond of Agni Deva resulting in fierce flames of fire renouned as Shikharaastra- Vayavyastra which sweeps ay the opponent with virulent sweeps away. Then the Maharshi teaches the Kakutsa nandanaas of 'Hayashira Astra'- 'Krounchana Astra' and 'Shakti Dyayaastra' or of high potent twin astras attacking the opponent with doubled up potency. The Maharshi was pleased to instruct Rama Lakshmanas the astras named 'kankala'-the devastating 'musala'- and the destructive 'Kapaala' and 'Kinkini' and such astras which could lift up and throw the opponents forcefully. Then in the series were taught the famed 'Nandana Astra' of Vidyadharas as well as the associated mace of fame. The 'Gandharva Priya' astras of 'Sammohana' for relapsing into senselessness like 'Prastaavana- Prashamana-and Soumya' were taught too, besides the 'Mohanaastras' suca as for varshana-shoshana-santaapana-vilaapana-maadana which was the beloved of Kama Deva Manmadha himself, and the Gandharvapriya 'Maanava astra', besides the Pishacha priya 'Mohanastra'. Brahmarshi Vishvamitra then instructed the Astras named 'Taamasa-Soumana-Samvarta-Durjaya- Mousala-Satya-and Mayamayaastras too. Then the Maharshi imparted to Rama Lakshmanas the glorious 'Surva prabha Astra' which when once released as an arrow would destroy the enemies to ashes. Simultaneously, the Maharshi conferred 'Shishira naamaka Chandraastra', 'Tvashta (Vishvakarma) naamaka 'Daarunaastra', Bhaga Deva namaka 'Bhayankaraashtra' and 'Sheetoshna' naamaka Astra of Manu Deva. Source Valmiki Ramayana Baala Khanda l

Stanza 34 onward continued:

tatas tu laksye sa vihanyamāne; śaresu moghesu ca sampatatsu, jagāma cintām mahatīm mahātmā; samādhisamyogasamāhitātmā/ tato matim rāksasarājasūnuś; cakāra tasmin harivīramukhye, avadhyatām tasya kapeh samīksya; katham nigacched iti nigrahārtham/ tatah paitāmahām vīrah so 'stram astravidām varah, samdadhe sumahātejās tam haripravaram prati/ As Meghanaada repeatedly failed varied astra prayogas targetting the Maha Vaanara Veeraanjaneya, he kept on thinking deep whether any kind of 'maantrika astras' might be utilised targetting the enemy. Then on realising that somehow, Veera Hanuman being apparently immune from all the 'astras', he might perhaps be surrended by being tied tight by utilising the unique Brahmaastra only. Then an outstanding expert of Astra Vidya, Indrajit tagetted at Maha Vayu Putra with his arrow released while invoking the Brahmaastra. avadhyo 'yam iti jñātvā tam astrenāstratattvavit, nijagrāha mahābāhur mārutātmajam indrajit/ tena baddhas tato 'strena rāksasena sa vānarah, abhavan nirvicestas ca papāta ca mahītale/ tato 'tha buddhvā sa tadāstra bandham; prabhoh prabhāvād vigatālpavegah, pitāmahānugraham ātmanas ca; vicintayām āsa haripravīrah/ Astra Tatva expert Indrajit, having realised that Anjaneya was conversant, he tied him down with Brahmastra, as Maha Bali Anjaneya fell down and collapsed. However, Brahma realising that he was invoked blessed Anjaneya to get recovered almost instantly as the Vayu Putra regained consciousness. Having dutifully greeted in his mind for His 'anugraha' and recalled Brahma's 'varadana in his previous birth. tatah svāvambhuvair mantrair brahmāstram abhimantritam, hanūmām's cintavām āsa varadānam pitāmahāt/ na me 'strabandhasya ca śaktir asti; vimoksane lokaguroh prabhāyāt, ity evam evamvihito 'strabandho; mayātmayoner anuvartitavyaḥ/Yet having recalled Brahma's varadaana, Anjaneya was unable to move freely as Indrajit had meanwhile tied with strong series of ropes; no doubt he could easily severe the ropes by his physical strength instantly but said to himself that anyway Brahma Deva's anugraha ought not to be impugned. sa vīryam astrasya kapir vicārya; pitāmahānugraham ātmanaś ca, vimokṣaśaktim paricintayitvā; pitāmahājñām anuvartate sma/astreṇāpi hi baddhasya bhayam mama na jāyate, pitāmahamahendrābhyām rakṣitasyānilena ca/grahaṇe cāpi rakṣobhir mahan me guṇadarśanam, rākṣasendrena samvādas tasmād gṛhnantu mām pare/ Moreover, I am least concerned of the tight rope 'bandhana' as I do enjoy the kindness of Brahma-Indra- Vaayu Devatas protect me always. Moreover, I should soon have an opportunity to see Ravanaasura in his Rakshasa Sabha and thus see for myself thereby assessing the strengths and weaknesses of the members of the Ravana Sabha. Having thus so decided, Hanunan pretended unconsciouness and fear and started howling and screeming of a common trait of a monkey. Indrajit then realised that Veera Hanuman was only tied

with vrikshas which he could have removed with his might anyway and was only pretending and as such should be suspicion worthy. Any way he would have to be taken to the King Ravana and his sabha to show off that the enemy was subdued finally. Then as Veera Hanuman was produced before the King Ravanasura and the King interrogated Veera Hanuman: ko 'yam kasya kuto vāpi kim kāryam ko vvapāśrayah, iti rāksasayīrānām tatra samjajñire kathāh/ hanyatām dahyatām vāpi bhaksyatām iti cāpare, rākṣasās tatra samkruddhāḥ parasparam athābruvan/ atītya mārgam sahasā mahātmā; sa tatra rakşo'dhipapādamūle, dadarśa rājñaḥ paricāravrddhān; grham mahāratnavibhūṣitam ca/'Who are you, whose son are you, why have you come here, what purpose for which you had slipped into this Kingdom, and who is your support here!' As Ravana was interrogating Hanuman, most of the Rakshasaas shouted: 'beat this despicable vanara, kill him, burn him alive or better still devour him straightaway.' Then Veera Anjaneya found his way towards the King, as the latter's personal attendants noticed that Hanaman was looking at the grandeur of the Sabha Hall was attractively decorated spendidly with precious stones and the well lit up the high dome and so on. As Dashamukha Ravana was glaring at Hanuman with reddened eyes and flamed looks with suppessed fury, he istructed the senior Ministers to interrogate the Vaanara: In his reply, Veera Anjaneya with comoposure replied: vathā -kramam taih sa kapiś ca prstah; kāryārtham arthasya ca mūlam ādau, nivedayām āsa harīśvarasya; dūtaḥ sakāśād aham āgato 'smi/ As the respective Ministers asked Hanuman about the purpose of his visit and related questions; Veera Anjaneya merly replied: he was the follower of Vaanara King Sugriva and his Messenger merely, and that was how and why that he arrived here at Lanka.

Sarga Forty Nine

Veera Hanuman was doubt impressed by King Ravasasura's accompishments and his own personalised feelings.

Tataḥ sa karmaṇā tasya vismito bhīmavikramaḥ, hanumān roṣatāmrākṣo rakṣo 'dhipam avaikṣata/ bhājamānam mahārhena kāñcanena virājatā, muktājālāvṛtenātha mukuṭena mahādyutim/ vajrasamvogasamvuktair mahārhamanivigrahaih, haimair ābharanais citrair manaseva prakalpitaih/ mahārhaksaumasamvītam raktacandanarūsitam, svanuliptam vicitrābhir vividhabhiś ca bhaktibhih/ vipulair darśanīyaiś ca rakṣākṣair bhīmadarśanaiḥ, dīptatīkṣṇamahādamṣṭraiḥ pralambadaśanacchadaih/śirobhir daśabhir vīram bhrājamānam mahaujasam, nānāvyālasamākīrnaih sikharair iva mandaram/ nīlāñjanacaya prakhyam hārenorasi rājatā, pūrnacandrābhavaktrena sabalākam ivāmbudam/ bāhubhir baddhakeyūrais candanottamarūsitaih, bhrājamānāngadaih pīnaih pañcaśīrsair ivoragaih/ mahati sphātike citre ratnasamyogasamskṛte, uttamāstaranāstīrne upavistam varāsane/ alamkṛtābhir atyartham pramadābhiḥ samantataḥ, vālavyajanahastābhir ārāt samupasevitam/ durdharena prahastena mahāpārśvena rakṣasā, mantribhir mantratattvajñair nikumbhena ca mantriṇā/ upopavistam raksobhiś caturbhir baladarpitaih, krtsnaih parivrtam lokam caturbhir iva sāgaraih/ mantribhir mantratattvajñair anvaiś ca śubhabuddhibhih, anvāsvamānam sacivaih surair iva sureśvaram/ apaśvad rāksasapatim hanūmān atitejasam, visthitam meruśikhare satovam iva tovadam/ sa taiḥ sampīdyamāno 'pi rakṣobhir bhīmavikramaiḥ, vismayam paramam gatvā rakṣo 'dhipam avaikṣata/ bhrājamānam tato drstvā hanumān rāksaseśvaram, manasā cintayām āsa tejasā tasya mohitah/ aho rūpam aho dhairyam aho sattvam aho dyutih, aho rāksasarājasya sarvalaksanayuktatā/ yady adharmo na balavān syād ayam rāksaseśvarah, syād ayam suralokasya saśakrasyāpi raksitā/ tena bibhyati khalv asmāl lokāh sāmaradānavāh, ayam hy utsahate kruddhah kartum ekārņavam jagat/iti cintām bahuvidhām akaron matimān kapiḥ, drstvā rākṣasarājasya prabhāvam amitaujasaḥ/

As Ravana Putra Indrajit having tied up Hanuman with his Brahmastra Prayoga, and having produced right before the Rakshasa King Maha Ravana in the Maha Sabha inteterrogating the imprisoned culprit, he displayed his valor and showed his red eyes. Meanwhile, Hanuman kept on staring and admiring at the beauty and splendor of the Ravana Sabha and its embellishments of gold, invaluable jewellery, and its maginificence and glory. Maha Tejasvi Rakshasa Raja as adorned with glitterig kireeta, attired with

priceless silk robes, his face with charming application of red chandana, and surrounded by damsels of prettiness of body and etiquette. vipulair darśanīyaiś ca rakṣākṣair bhīmadarśanaiḥ, dīptatīkṣṇamahādaṃṣṭraiḥ pralambadaśanacchadaih/ śirobhir daśabhir vīram bhrājamānam mahaujasam, nānāvyālasamākīrṇaiḥ śikharair iva mandaram/ nīlāñjanacaya prakhyam hāreṇorasi rājatā, pūrnacandrābhavaktrena sabalākam ivāmbudam/ King Ravana's highly attractive eyes were red and his looks were piercing, at once fearful, scaring, yet searching; his beard was too big hiding his lips providing a strange impression on the onlookers. Veera Hanuman saw how Ravana Dasha Mukhas were glittering, readily arresting the onlookers, frightening yet attractive like the Mandarachala Shikharas with surfieted poisonous serpents hanging all around. Ravana's body was black like koels and his massive and broad chest was bright with the shine of the 'nava ratna maalaas'. His face was like the clouds surrounded by bright with streaks of red glow like the 'Ushakaala Surya'. bāhubhir baddhakeyūraiś candanottama rūsitaih, bhrājamānāngadaih pīnaih pañcaśīrsair ivoragaih/ mahati sphātike citre ratnasamyoga samskṛte, uttamāstaraṇāstīrṇe upaviṣṭam varāsane/ alamkṛtābhir atyartham pramadābhiḥ samantatah, *vālavyajanahastābhir ārāt samupasevitam/* Ravana was possessive of his strong and fearful twenty hands was like of a chain of five hooded maha sarpas with natural and ever obtainable 'manis' there above. His 'simhaasana' or the throne seated by him of gold with studded sphatika manis was amazingly singular, as damsels each of whom was with admirable dressses and enviable 'aabharanas' were surrounded, being anxious serve him at mere nods of his waving heads and flips of his glances. Even as he was being seated, his able and popular Ministers named Dhurdhara, Prahasta, Maha Paarshva and Nikumbha were too seated. These were oustanding experts of Mantra Tatvas. Thus Veera Hanuman could simply not resist the awe of Ravana's presence and was truly engrossed at the supreme center of the Sabha, and of course the name and fame of his saamrajya, mentally recalling the symbolic 'simile' of Meru Parvata Shikhara with water falls all around gushing down ever. Then within himself, Veera Hanuman mused: aho rūpam aho dhairyam aho sattvam aho dyutih, aho rāksasarājasya sarvalaksanayuktatā/ yady adharmo na balavān syād ayam rāksaseśvarah, syād ayam suralokasya saśakrasyāpi raksitā/Aho! How impressive and breathtaking is this Rakshasa Raja! What kind of 'dhairya saahasa' does he possess. What type of 'rajodita lakshanas' or of characteristics truly worthy of an Ideal King of Kings. If ony his is not a symbol of Adharma and of evil nature, he could have been like Indra the samrakshaka of Devas and of Swarga Loka. It only due to his cruel misdoings, Deva Danavas are scared of him as he could create havoc to Lokas ushering chaos in the 'srishti!'

Sarga Fifty

Pretending as bounded by Indrajit's Brahmaastra, though Brahma granted his immunity, Hanuman faced Ravana whose Minister asked him why he visited Lanka; he confirmed, he was Shri Rama's messenger.

Tam udvīkṣya mahābāhuḥ pingākṣam purataḥ sthitam, roṣeṇa mahatāviṣṭo rāvaṇo lokarāvaṇaḥ/ sa rājā roṣatāmrākṣaḥ prahastam mantrisattamam, kālayuktam uvācedam vaco vipulam arthavat/ durātmā prcchyatām eṣa kutaḥ kim vāsya kāraṇam, vanabhange ca ko 'syārtho rākṣasīnām ca tarjane/ rāvaṇasya vacaḥ śrutvā prahasto vākyam abravīt, samāśvasihi bhadram te na bhīḥ kāryā tvayā kape/ yadi tāvat tvam indreṇa preṣito rāvaṇālayam, tattvam ākhyāhi mā te bhūd bhayam vānara mokṣyase/ yadi vaiśravaṇasya tvam yamasya varuṇasya ca, cārurūpam idam kṛtvā yamasya varuṇasya ca/ viṣṇunā preṣito vāpi dūto vijayakāṅkṣiṇā, na hi te vānaram tejo rūpamātram tu vānaram/ tattvataḥ kathayasvādya tato vānara mokṣyase, anṛtam vadataś cāpi durlabham tava jīvitam/ atha vā yannimittas te praveśo rāvaṇālaye, evam ukto harivaras tadā rakṣogaṇeśvaram, abravīn nāsmi śakrasya yamasya varuṇasya vā/ dhanadena na me sakhyam viṣṇunā nāsmi coditaḥ/ jātir eva mama tv eṣā vānaro 'ham ihāgataḥ/ darśane rākṣasendrasya durlabhe tad idam mayā, vanam rākṣasarājasya darśanārthe vināśitam/ tatas te rākṣasāḥ prāptā balino yuddhakānkṣiṇaḥ, rakṣaṇārtham ca dehasya pratiyuddhā mayā raṇe/ astrapāśair na śakyo 'ham baddhum devāsurair api, pitāmahād eva varo mamāpy eṣo 'bhyupāgataḥ/ rājānam draṣṭukāmena mayāstram anuvartitam, vimukto aham astreṇa rākṣasais tv atipīḍitaḥ/ dūto 'ham iti vijñeyo rāghavasyāmitaujasaḥ, śrūyatām cāpi vacanam mama pathyam idam prabho/

Maha baahu King of Rakshasaas, then saw Hanuman with his angry and piercing and searching looks. In his own mind, he was looking some what puzzled with surprise and concern. He ruminated within himself: *Kimeva Bhagavan Nandi bhavet saakshaadihaagatah,yena shaptosmi kailase mayaa prahasite puraa,soyam Vaanara murthis syaatkinkasvid Baanopi vaasurah*/ What! Had saakshaat Nandeeswara had arrived as this Vaanara, whom I had heckled him years ago when I was trying to lift Kailasa Parvata; or is he Banasura to teach me a lesson.

[Vishleshana on 1. Nandishwara and 2. Baanasura

1. Origin and Glory of Nandishvara:

Maharshi Shilada performed severe Tapasya for thousands of years and his body got degenerated to such an extent that it became a skeleton full of worms. Finally, Maha Deva granted his vision and Shilada's wish: Tawa Putro bhavishyaami Nandi naamnaa twayonijah, Pitaa bhavisyaasi mama Pitrurvey Jagataam Muney/ (I shall grant you a son with the name of Nandi and he would be my son and would be popular like wise). Then Nandi was born at Yagna Bhumi with the features of Maha Deva himself with Trinetras, Chaturbhjas and as Jataa mukuta and Vajra-Sarpa dhaari when Devatas rained fragrant flowers, Apsaraas danced and Gandharvaas sang tuneful hymns in praise of Lord Shiva and Nandi. Vasus, Rudras and Indra prayed respectfully and Devis like Lakshmi, Jyeshtha, Diti, Aditi, Nanda, Shachi, Bhadra and others rendered 'Stutis' to Nandi. Shailada Muni commended Maha Deva as well as Nandishwara and expressed his total satisfaction and gratitude. As Nandishwara was taken into the 'Parnashala' or thached home of Shailada, Nandi assumed a human Rupa instead of Deva Swarupa. Shailada Muni was overjoyed, performed the child's Jaata Karma and other Vedic Tasks and on the son's attaining seven years performed his Yagnopaveeta dharana and 'Upaasana' of Gayatri and tendered him to the Ashram of Maharshi Mitraavaruna. The Guru taught Veda Vidya, Shastras and other Scriptures, besides Dhanur Vidya, Ayur Veda and Mantra Vidyas, Chatushashti Kaalas, Ashrama Dharmas and so on. Mitravaruna was very proud of the student and so was Muni Shilada; the Guru then blurted at that time of Nandi 's exit from Ashram that doubteless Bala Nandi displayed extra-ordinary brilliance as a fulfedged Scholar and accomplishment but was shortlived!Shilada fainted at this disclosure for long and after regaining normalcy took to extreme Tapasya again to Maha Deva; even as Shilada was engaged in Tapasya, Shiva appreared, fondled Nandi, assured him not to get disturbed from what was stated by his Guru. He said that actually he sent messengers that Nandi's life was almost over since his human birth would anyway be of Tapatrayas and hence he was terminating the Manava Janma to bestow Everlasting Life; by so saying, Maha Deva touched Nandi so that his physical body would fall down with his Jataa Mukuta etc and secure a permanent Rudra Rupa. The Place where the human form of Nandi's 'Jatajuta' fell on Earth was materialised into a Sacred River called Jatodaka and Nandi's new Form was of a 'Vrishabha'; Parama Shiva himself performed 'Abhisheka' on the new Form of Nandi and that Place came to be called Vrishadhwani, Jambunada or Panchanada and Vishwakarma gifted a Golden Mukuta or Headgear and Kundalaas or Ear Rings. Thereafter Nandishwara familiarised with his mother Devi Girija and also the 'Ganaas', whom he was empowered as their Chief, Devi Parvati endeared the son who prostrated before her with veneration. Maha Deva declared to the Tri Lokas that Nandishwara was the son of Shiva and Parvati. Devas headed by Indra, Brahma, Vishnu, Dikpalakas, Maharshis, besides Yaksha-Gandharva-Muni and Yogi ganaas were all invited to a huge event where Nandishwara's unique name was fame were known all over, where ever Maha Deva was known and indeed Maha Deva was acclaimed as the Supreme Lord of the Universe. Parama Shiva granted a boon to Nandishwara that He would be in the 'Sannithi' (Presence) of Shiva always and any kind of worship to himself would be incomplete without any Service to Nandi! Even great sins of the magnitude of Brahma hatya could be nullified by Shiva Puja, but at first, Nandeswara should be propitiated without fail; Aadow kuryaanamaskaaram tadantey Shivataam Vrajet/ [Linga Purana]

2. Baanaasura whom was a nightmare to Devas and Indra with long life from Treta Yuga to Dwapara Yuga, was the grandson of the famed Bali Chakravarti and a parama bhakta of Parameshwara and ever worshipped a Rasa Linga gifted by Vishvakarma. As an ardent devotee of Shiva, he was stated to have thoushand arms to play mridaaga at Shiva Parvati tandava nrityas. In the course of Dwapara Yuga, his daughter Usha Devi happened to see both Shiva and Parvati sitting together and being an Antaryami Devi Parvati joked with Usha that one day she would too land up in a situation like that. Usha asked Devi Parvati as to when would that day arrive! Parvati replied that she would dream of a youth on the night of Vaishakha Shukla Dwadashi. As the day arrived, Usha did get the dream and informed of the incidence to her friend Chitralekha, the daughter of Banasura's Minister named Kushmanda. As Usha was unable to bear the feelings of love, Chitralekha showed several drawings of eligible amd handsome bachelors and after a few days, Usha succeeded finally to identify the youth. Then it was learnt that the youth was the son of Krishna. In course of time, the couple met and their romance became intense by the day. Learning of the desire of his daughter with Aniruddha, the son of Pradyumana -the erstwhile Cupid who was burnt into ashes by Lord Siva's third eye- and the grand son of Krishna (Avatar of Lord Vamana), Banasura quashed the wedding proposal and reprimanded his daughter since Krishna was his foe. Banasura prevented his daughter meeting Aniruddha and when the latter fought with him, he imprisoned Aniruddha. Yadavas in Dwaraka wondered as to what happened to Aniruddha. On learning from Narada Muni, it was learnt that Aniruddha was imprisoned in Shonitapur, the Capital of Banasura and Krishna, Balarama and Pradyumna lest by Garuda to that Place. There, they confronted Pramathaganas of Shiva and fought with Jwara the three footed Chief of the 'Parshads' named Maheswara and defeated him. This led to a full-fledged battle between Krishna and others on one side and Banasura, Shankara and Kartikeya on the other. As furious Shastra-Astraas were exchanged by both the Parties, the whole world was affected with Pralayaagni. Balarama attacked Banasura and the fight got intensified with alarming consequences. Meanwhile Krishna recalled his Sudarshana Chakra and sliced off the mighty hands of Banasura and was about to cut off the Asura's head too. It was at that climatic moment, Shankara addressed Krishna to stop. "Hey Krishna! I am aware that you are the Purushottama -Parameswara-Paramatmaa and Adyanta-Rahita! Do get cooled down. I have provided shield to Banasura my devotee and assured that I would stand guarantee at the time of his peril; please do not falsify my faith in me. He has not done any thing wrong to you but is egoistic due to my backing and therefore pardon him. Krishna replied: 'Shankara! If you so wish as you had given him a benidiction, Banaasura would continue to be alive. In order to respect your assurance to him, I am withdrawing Sudarshana Chakra; if you had given him protection, so do I; You should never feel that you are different from me; you should always consider me as yourself and together we are the Devas, Asuras, human beings and all the rest; all those who consider us as different from each other are shrouded in Maya or Illusion; indeed, I am pleased and am gone. There after, Krishna and all the rest headed to Aniruddha's prison, where the latter was released by 'Naga bandhana' or tight-tied by a serpent which ran away at the appearance of Garuda Deva while Banasura politely agreed for the Sacred wedding of Usha-Aniruddhaas. Source: Maha Bhagavata Purana]

Stanza 5 onward continued:

Ravanasura with his angry looks then asked one of his able Ministers Prahasta: 'Amaatya! Ask this 'duraatma' (Hanuman) as to where had he arrived from, and for which purpose! What did he think was the reason as to why he shattered Pramadaa Vana! He had the audicity of entering my Lankaapuri; why did he fight with my rakshasa veeras. What was the meaning of slipping into my kingdom! Ask this durbuddhi Vanara! 'Then Matri Prahasta asked Hanuman: Vaanara! Don't' you get nervous now, as you are caught and tied down by the Mahaastra; keep peaceful and be brave now; we assure you that it would be good for you; there is no need for you to get nervous. As you have now already entered this Maha Lanka similar to Indrapuri already, reply to us properly; we shall soon relieve you! Are you a spy of Kubera, or Yama or Varuna, confess now and you would be freed soon. Or in case Vishnu himself sent you, say that. You are obviously pretending to be a Vanara, but do certainly are not one as you vanara's characteristics are well recognisable. If you do not cooperate now, then there may not be any chance of our releasing you at all. For get all these queries of mine, just confess now as to why have you entered

here cat all.' Thus amaatya Prahasta was naivety or artless simplicity which certainly not of the quality of an experienced investigating official of the ranking of a minister, addressed the questions posed at the extremely learned Veeraanjaneya, Hanuma replied: jātir eva mama tv eṣā vānaro 'ham ihāgataḥ/darśane rākṣasendrasya durlabhe tad idam mayā, vanam rākṣasarājasya darśanārthe vināśitam/tatas te rākṣasāḥ prāptā balino yuddhakānkṣiṇaḥ, rakṣaṇārtham ca dehasya pratiyuddhā mayā raṇe/Yes, by birth I am a Vanara; I have assumed this tough task and responsibility; yes, I had wantonly destroyed Pramadaa vana and killed a series of rakshasa veeraas as they provoked me wage battles. Deva daanavaadis could not be tied down like this.I am blessed by Brahma Deva Himself with His 'varadaana' as I am truly speaking that I am immune from the 'brahmaastra'. Yet as I wished to speak to King Ravana, I pretended and allowed the gang of Rakshasaas to be tied me down. dūto 'ham iti vijñeyo rāghavasyāmitaujasaḥ, śrūyatām cāpi vacanam mama pathyam idam prabho/ As Bhagavan Shri Rama has some assigned a responsible duty for me, hence I have arrived here. I am his messenger of Shri Rama, and as such King Ravana Prabhu may kindly hear my 'hitakari vachanas' or helpful words now.

Sarga Fifty One

Addressing Ravana, Veera Hanuman detailed Shri Rama 'Prabhava' and warned that if Devi Sita were in any way hurt, that would be the instant final doom of Ravana and Lanka; Ravana went mad with fury.

Tam samīkṣya mahāsattvam sattvavān harisattamaḥ, vākyam arthavad avyagras tam uvāca daśānanam/ aham sugrīvasamdesād iha prāptas tavālayam, rākṣasendra harīsas tvām bhrātā kusalam abravīt/ bhrātuḥ śṛṇu samādeśaṁ sugrīvasya mahātmanaḥ, dharmārthopahitaṁ vākyam iha cāmutra ca kṣamam/ rājā daśaratho nāma rathakuñjaravājimān, piteva bandhur lokasya sureśvarasamadyutih/ jyesthas tasya mahābāhuh putrah priyakarah prabhuh, pitur nideśān niskrāntah pravisto dandakāvanam/ laksmanena saha bhrātrā sītayā cāpi bhāryayā, rāmo nāma mahātejā dharmyam panthānam āśritah/ tasya bhāryā vane nastā sītā patim anuvratā, vaidehasva sutā rājño janakasva mahātmanah/ sa mārgamānas tām devīm rājaputrah sahānujah, rsyamūkam anuprāptah sugrīveņa ca samgatah/ tasya tena pratijñātam sītāyāh parimārganam, sugrīvasyāpi rāmena harirājyam niveditam/ tatas tena mrdhe hatyā rājaputrena vālinam, sugrīvah sthāpito rājve harvrksānām ganeśvarah/ sa sītāmārgane vyagrah sugrīvah satyasamgaraḥ, harīn sampreṣayām āsa diśaḥ sarvā harīśvaraḥ/ tām harīṇām sahasrāṇi śatāni niyutāni ca, diksu sarvāsu mārgante adhaś copari cāmbare/ vainateya samāh ke cit ke cit tatrānilopamāh, asamgagatayah śīghrā harivīrā mahābalāh/ aham tu hanumān nāma mārutasyaurasah sutah, sītāyās tu krte tūrnam śatayojanam āyatam, samudram langhayitvaiva tām didrksur ihāgatah/ tad bhavān dṛṣṭadharmārthas tapah kṛṭaparigrahah, paradārān mahāprājña noparoddhum tvam arhasi/ na hi dharmaviruddheşu bahv apāyeşu karmasu, mūlaghātişu sajjante buddhimanto bhavadvidhāh/ kaś ca lakşmanamuktānām rāmakopānuvartinām, śarāṇām agrataḥ sthātum śakto devāsureṣv api/ na cāpi triṣu lokeşu rājan vidyeta kaś cana, rāghavasya vyalīkam yaḥ krtvā sukham avāpnuyāt/ tat trikālahitam vākvam dharmvam arthānubandhi ca, manyasva naradevāva jānakī pratidīvatām/ drstā hīvam mavā devī labdham vad iha durlabham, uttaram karma vac chesam nimittam tatra rāghavah/laksitevam mayā sītā tathā śokaparāyaṇā, grhya yām nābhijānāsi pañcāsyām iva pannagīm/ neyam jarayitum śakyā sāsurair amarair api, visasamsṛstam atyartham bhuktam annam iyaujasā/ tapahsamtāpalabdhas te yo 'yam dharmaparigrahah, na sa nāśayitum nyāyya ātmaprānaparigrahah/ avadhyatām tapobhir yām bhavān samanupaśyati, ātmanah sāsurair devair hetus tatrāpy ayam mahān/ sugrīvo na hi devo 'yam nāsuro na ca mānuṣaḥ, na rākṣaso na gandharvo na yakṣo na ca pannagaḥ/ mānuṣo rāghavo rājan sugrīvaś ca harīśvaraḥ, tasmāt prāṇaparitrāṇam katham rājan kariṣyasi/ na tu dharmopasamhāram adharma phalasamhitam, tad eva phalam anveti dharmaś cādharmanāśanah/ prāptam dharmaphalam tāvad bhavatā nātra samśayaḥ, phalam asyāpy adharmasya kṣipram eva prapatsyase/ janasthānavadham buddhvā buddhvā vālivadham tathā, rāmasugrīvasakhyam ca budhyasva hitam ātmanah/kāmam khalv aham apy ekah savājirathakuñjarām, lankām nāśayitum śaktas tasyaisa tu viniścayah/ rāmena hi pratijñātam haryrksagaṇasamnidhau, utsādanam amitrāṇām sītā yais tu pradharṣitā/ apakurvan hi rāmasya sāksād api puramdarah, na sukham prāpnuyād anyah kim punas tyadvidho janah/ yām sītety

abhijānāsi yeyam tiṣṭhati te vaśe, kālarātrīti tām viddhi sarvalankāvināśinīm/ tad alam kālapāśena sītā vigraharūpiṇā, svayam skandhāvasaktena kṣamam ātmani cintyatām/ sītāyās tejasā dagdhām rāmakopaprapīḍitām, dahyamanām imām paśya purīm sāṭṭapratolikām/ sa sauṣṭhavopetam adīnavādinaḥ; kaper niśamyāpratimo 'priyam vacaḥ, daśānanaḥ kopavivṛttalocanaḥ; samādiśat tasya vadham mahākapeḥ/

Addressing Ravanasura politey with considerable restraint, Veera Hanuman stated: Rakshasa Raja! I have arrived here having brought Vanara King's message to you. Vaanara Raja Sugriva being like your brother had asked me to convey his greetings to you and of your welfare. Now, I am coneying to Sugriva's message to you as follows as 'Dharma-Artha Laabha daakika vachanas'. 'Recently Dasharatha Nandana Shri Rama had arrived here; you might be surely aware of King Dasharatha who was his 'praja hitytaishi' and was of 'apaara sena' of 'chaturanga balaas' of foot sodiers, cavalry, elephantry, chariots comparable of Indra's comparability. Shri Rama following his father's instruction followed the 'dharma maarga'had since left Ayodhya their capital city and have been into 'dandakaaranya'as accompanied by his dharma patni Devi Sita and his brother Lakshmana. D evi Sita is the dear daughter of Videsha King Janaka. At the janasthaana, Shri Rama's wife disappeared. Raja Kumara Shri Rama along with his brother Lakshmana, in their search for the suddenly missing Devi Sita, had recently arrived at the Rishyamuka Parvata. Vaanara King Sugriva declared and swore that he would help Shri Rama to restore his missing wife Devi Sita. Subsequently, Raja Kumara Shri Rama killed Maha Veera Vaali, the elder brother of Sugriva, and helped Sugriva to be the present King of Vaanaraas and Bears. King Ravana! You are well aware of the extraordinary might of Maha Vaali. But Shri Rama demolished Maha Vaali and made Sugiva the King of Vanaras.

[Vishleshana on Ravana's disgraced encounter with Vaali:

Ravanasura once decided to challenge Vaanara King Maha Baali; the latter was born of Indra Devaamsha and got a boon that he would attain half of the strength of any of his opponents standing face to face. This power enabled Bāli to defeat all his foes and bring the countries in all directions under his sway. Ravana heard about this and decided to overpower Báli somehow or other and approached Kiskindha. Having learnt from Baali's Minister, Taran, that Vaali got the boon, Ravana somehow decided to kill Bali. His idea was to kill Baali by capturing and killing while going behind him when Vaali would daily perform his daily prayers. Next morning Bāli went to the eastern sea-shore and began his prayer and meditation. Ravana approached Baali behind and sat close to Vaali, presuming he could hold Vaali's tail and beat him from behind without facing Vaali. Baali knew that Ravana was sitting behind him. But pretending that he knew nothing put his long tail on the body of Ravana, and passed it lengthwise and breadthwise through every part of his body and tied him like a bundle of faggots, and made a jump into the air. Within a short time Vaali visited all the usual places and reached Kishkindhä. Seeing Ravana hanging by the tail of Bali, even the women folk laughed. Thus Ravana became a laughing stock as Ravana made a confession admitting surrender as the other wise invincible Maha Vali pardoned Ravana and let him go unhurt. Sourced from Valmiki Uttara Ramayana.]

Stanza 12 onward continued: sa sītāmārgaņe vyagraḥ sugrīvaḥ satyasamgaraḥ, harīn sampreṣayām āsa diśaḥ sarvā harīśvaraḥ/ tām harīṇām sahasrāṇi śatāni niyutāni ca, dikṣu sarvāsu mārgante adhaś copari cāmbare/ vainateya samāḥ ke cit ke cit tatrānilopamāḥ, asamgagatayaḥ śīghrā harivīrā mahābalāḥ/ aham tu hanumān nāma mārutasyaurasaḥ sutaḥ, sītāyās tu kṛte tūrṇam śatayojanam āyatam, samudram laṅghayitvaiva tām didṛkṣur ihāgataḥ/Now, Satya Pratignavaan King Sugriva was agitated and made all out efforts to locate where Divi Sita could have been; he despatched Vaanara Yoddhhas to search for her in all the directions. At that time thousands, lakhs and crores of Vanara Veeras were sent in the unique responsibility of Devi Sitaanveshana. Among the Vaanara Veeras, all them were of the unimaginable of speed, sincerity and seriousness and their leaders were of the vayu vega of Garuda Deva. Now, my name is Hanuman, the 'ourasa putra' of Vayu Deva. As I was named as the Messenger of King Sugriva, as

entrusted to me as my noble responsibility, I jumped off to the other shores of this Maha Samudra which has a gigantic span of hundred vojanaas reached the Lanka Samrajya by 'vaayu vega'. Having searched all over of this Lanka, I entered your antahpura foremost with hope against hope and finally located at the spot where I had the fortune of visioning Devi Sita tad bhavān drstadharmārthas tapah krtaparigrahah, paradārān mahāprājña noparoddhum tvam arhasi/na hi dharmaviruddhesu bahv apāvesu karmasu, mūlaghātişu sajjante buddhimanto bhavadvidhāh/ kaś ca lakṣmaṇamuktānām rāmakopānuvartinām, śarāṇām agrataḥ sthātum śakto devāsureṣv api/'Maha mate'! You are indeed fully aware of dharma tatya- of what is dharma and what is not. Those tenets are such that either these might uplift a Being in srishti, or down grade and eventually ruin them. You have had the unique glory of having performed tapasya and devotion to the Almighty. But could you please enlighten me how a highly learned person of your stature forcibly drag another person's life partner! You are fully aware of the consequences since such thoughtless actiond are bound to recoil and destroy and uprooted. That is why, a maha purusha of your ranking never get involved; and even having done so would soon seek to recorrect soon. Else, is there such a parakrami in Shrishti who could ever face and retort the anguished anger of Shri Rama and the releases of Lakshmana's arrows!na cāpi trisu lokesu rājan vidveta kaś cana, rāghavasva vvalīkam vah kṛtvā sukham avāpnuyāt/ tat trikālahitam vākyam dharmyam arthānubandhi ca, manyasva naradevāya jānakī pratidīyatām/ dṛṣṭā hīyam mayā devī labdham yad iha durlabham, uttaram karma yac cheṣam nimittam tatra rāghavah/Raksasa Raja! be it clear that there is no 'praani' in trilokas who could commit an offence against Rama and still survive! That is why, do very kindly make a proper introspection, and evenat this stage, please, let the past mis-doings be ignored and make a fresh initiative be upheld; let Devi Janaki be released and forward her to Shri Rama forthwith. Indeed repentance even at this final stage is what is aptly recommended. I have already seen and met Devi Sita and was delighted to have discovered an unamaginable fortune of my life. And now am ready for the accomplishment of 'Rama Karya'. laksiteyam mayā sītā tathā śokaparāyanā, grhya yām nābhijānāsi pañcāsyām iva pannagīm/ neyam jarayitum śakyā sāsurair amarair api, visasamsṛstam atyartham bhuktam annam ivaujasā/ tapahsamtāpalabdhas te yo 'yam dharmaparigrahah, na sa nāśayitum nyāyya ātmaprānaparigrahah/ I have fully visioned the present status of her condition. As none indeed could ever coerce her to swallow fully cooked poisoned food along with the 'pancha paramaannas'. She is yet surviving as a five hooded cobra even as deva- manushya-asuras would not be able to make her yield. tapahsamtāpalabdhas te vo 'yam dharmaparigrahaḥ, na sa nāśayitum nyāyya ātmaprāṇaparigrahaḥ/ avadhyatām tapobhir yām bhavān samanupaśyati, ātmanah sāsurair devair hetus tatrāpy ayam mahān/What all the great success that you had achieved as a result of your tapasya and its sweet fruits of prosperity, fame, and worldwide admiration, longevity of life should not end up futile and retributary! Remember Raksha Raja! It was owing to the sweet fruits that you had been enjoying, that you have so far been unconquerable and indomitable even by devas, let alone asuras, manushyas and any other species. Indeed that had been due to the 'tapasyaa janita maha phalas'. sugrīvo na hi devo 'yam nāsuro na ca mānuşah, na rākṣaso na gandharvo na yakṣo na ca pannagaḥ/ mānuṣo rāghavo rājan sugrīvaś ca harīśvaraḥ, tasmāt prānaparitrānam katham rājan karisvasi/ na tu dharmopasamhāram adharma -phalasamhitam, tad eva phalam anveti dharmas cādharmanāsanah/ Rakshgasa Raja! Neither Sugriva nor Shri Rama are neither Devatas, nor Yakshas nor Rakshas. Sugriva is a mere Vanara and Rama is a normal human being. Yet, how indeed you being a gross perpetrator of violation of fundamental roots of virtue, could be saved from their hands! A purusha once tied to such extreme violation, that dharma generated by your deep and unparalleled tapasya is bound to negate and even recoil. [Just as 'Dharmo Rakshati Rakshitah' equally true would be 'Dharmena paapamanudati' unless appropriate praayaschittaas are exercised] prāptam dharmaphalam tāvad bhavatā nātra samsayah, phalam asyāpy adharmasya kṣipram eva prapatsyase/ janasthānavadham buddhvā buddhvā vālivadham tathā, rāmasugrīvasakhyam ca budhyasva hitam ātmanah/Ravana! your erstwhile dharmaacharana having granted you the fruits of sweetness is now on the reverse path and the sour bitterness of those very fruits should soon be arriving with your total destruction and doom. Please refresh your dormant memory power when Shri Rama devastated thousands of Rakshasas pursuant to your sister Shurpanakha's complaint to you as Lakshmana severed her ears and nose only but not kill her being a woman only; do recall that your Senapati Dushana was smashed to

death again being single handed; please recall that the truly invincible hero Rama uprooted Khara and finally being frustrated you approached Mayavi Mareecha, who even reluctantly being afraid of your threat to kill him anyway preferred to die in Dharmatma Rama's hands! kāmam khalv aham apy ekah savājirathakuñjarām, lankām nāśayitum śaktas tasyaiṣa tu viniścayaḥ/ rāmeṇa hi pratijñātam harvrksaganasamnidhau, utsādanam amitrānām sītā vais tu pradharsitā/ apakurvan hi rāmasva sāksād api puramdarah, na sukham prāpnuyād anyah kim punas tvadvidho janah/ Dushta Ravana! Be this understood very clearly that I myself could single handedly devastate the entire Lanka Rajya with elephants-horses-chariots and the totality of Rakshasaas here [as you have tasted a few samples right now]. But that is not by brief and command of not of by my King for whom my loyalty is supreme. Shri Rama made a 'pratigina' before the Vaanaras and Bears that he himself should so. Bhagavan Shri Rama would never tolerate even if Indra had perpetrated such indescretion; what are you or such commoners like you anyway! yām sītety abhijānāsi veyam tisthati te vase, kālarātrīti tām viddhi sarvalankāvināsinīm/ tad alam kālapāśena sītā vigraharūpinā, svayam skandhāvasaktena kṣamam ātmani cintyatām/ sītāyās tejasā dagdhām rāmakopaprapīditām, dahvamanām imām pasva purīm sāttapratolikām/ sa sausthavopetam adīnavādinah; kaper niśamyāpratimo 'privam vacah, daśānanah kopavivrttalocanah; samādiśat tasya vadham mahākapeh/ As you better realise now, that as you hear or think of the very name of Devi Sita under your imprisonment, then you should beware that should be the 'kaala raatri' for you, your 'samraajya'. Then by assuming the body of Devi Sita, the Kaala Devi would instantly fix your head(s) right into the noose; hence now better realise how best you could extricate from such eventuality.

Sarga Fifty Two

Infuriated by Hanuman's insinuasions of Ravanas's record of failures and praising Rama's successes, Ravanasura orders the vanara be killed-Vibhishana pleads against killing a messenger, as Ravana heeds.

Tasya tadvacanam śrutvā vānarasya mahātmanaḥ, ājñāpayad vadham tasya rāvaṇaḥ krodhamūrchitaḥ/ vadhe tasya samājñapte rāvaņena durātmanā, niveditavato dautyam nānumene vibhīṣaṇaḥ/ tam rakso'dhipatim kruddham tac ca kārvam upasthitam, viditvā cintayām āsa kārvam kārvavidhau sthitah/ niścitārthas tatah sāmnāpūjya śatrujidagrajam, uvāca hitam atvartham vākyam vākyaviśāradah/ rājan dharmaviruddham ca lokavrtteś ca garhitam, tava cāsadrśam vīra kaper asya pramāpaṇam/ asamśayam śatrur ayam pravrddhah; krtam hy anenāpriyam aprameyam, na dūtavadhyām pravadanti santo; dūtasya drstā bahavo hi dandāh/ vairūpyām angesu kaśābhighāto; maundyam tathā laksmanasamnipātah, etān hi dūte pravadanti dandān; vadhas tu dūtasya na nah śruto 'pi/ katham ca dharmārthavinītabuddhih; parāvarapratyayaniścitārthah, bhavadvidhah kopavaśe hi tisthet; kopam niyacchanti hi sattvavantah/ na dharmavāde na ca lokavrtte; na śāstrabuddhigrahaneşu vāpi, vidyeta kaś cit tava vīratulyas; tvam hy uttamaḥ sarvasurāsurāṇām/ na cāpy asya kaper ghāte kam cit paśyāmy aham guṇam, teṣv ayam pātyatām daņdo yair ayam presitah kapih/ sādhur vā yadi vāsādhur parair esa samarpitah, bruvan parārtham paravān na dūto vadham arhati/ api cāsmin hate rājan nānyam paśvāmi khecaram, iha vah punar āgacchet param pāram mahodadhih/ tasmān nāsva vadhe vatnah kārvah parapuramjava, bhavān sendreşu deveşu yatnam āsthātum arhati/ asmin vinaşţe na hi dūtam anyam; paśyāmi yas tau nararājaputrau, yuddhāya yuddhapriyadurvinītāv; udyojayed dīrghapathāvaruddhau/parākramotsāha manasvinām ca; surāsurānām api durjayena, tvayā manonandana nairrtānām; yuddhāyatir nāśayitum na vuktā/ hitāś ca śūrāś ca samāhitāś ca; kulesu jātāś ca mahāgunesu, manasvinah śastrabhṛtām varisthāh; kotyagraśaste subhrtāś ca yodhāh/ tad ekadeśena balasya tāvat; ke cit tavādeśakrto 'payāntu, tau rājaputrau vinigrhya mūḍhau; pareṣu te bhāvayitum prabhāvam/

As Veera Hanuman had badly heckled him for his record of humiliating deaths of his stalwart Rakshasaas by Rama, his own victories recently and severely warned him, King Ravana stood up in burning rage and commanded to kill Hanuman instantly. Then Ravana's brother intervened saying that a messenger of Sugriva and of Rama would be quite inappropriate. Vibhishana reminded: Vadham na kurvanti praavaragjnaa dutasya santo vasudhaadhipendro, rājan dharmaviruddham ca lokavrtteś ca garhitam, tava

cāsadṛśam vīra kaper asya pramāpaṇam/ asamśayam śatrur ayam pravṛddhaḥ; kṛtam hy anenāpriyam aprameyam, na dūtavadhyām pravadanti santo; dūtasya dṛṣṭā bahavo hi daṇḍāḥ/ Maha Raja! Kindly hold your anger. Pandon the messenger as he might have been blabbering all types of nonsesnse, yet should not be killed, though might be punished. Rajas should never kill messengers. You are indeed a dharma jnaatam raja dharma viseshagjna. A person of your caliber should not be a 'roshaavesha vasheebhuta'. As being a durjaya Rakshasa Raja, you surerly impose reprimand and retribution. vairūpyām aṅgeṣu kaśābhighāto; mauṇḍyam tathā lakṣmaṇasamnipātaḥ, etān hi dūte pravadanti daṇḍān; vadhas tu dūtasya na naḥ śruto 'pi/ katham ca dharmārthavinītabuddhiḥ; parāvarapratyayaniścitārthaḥ, bhavadvidhaḥ kopavaśe hi tiṣṭhet; kopam niyacchanti hi sattvavantaḥ/

There could be punishments to a 'doota' such as 'anga bhanga' or mutilation of the messenger's body parts, or allow worms to hurt the messenger's body, shave off the head or punish his body with a lasting body blemish. But I have never known of a killing the messenger. Maha Raja! Your basic mind set is releted with the purushardhas of 'dharma and artha'. You may therefore balance the 'neechatya and ounnatya' or the low and mean characeristics as also the heights of the messenger; but a king of your repute an enormous accomplishments should indeed keep cool. Your psyche should reflect your origin and family background. na dharmavāde na ca lokavrtte; na śāstrabuddhigrahaņeşu vāpi, vidyeta kaś cit tava vīratulyas; tvam hy uttamaḥ sarvasurāṣurāṇām/ na cāpy asya kaper ghāte kam cit paśyāmy aham gunam, tesv ayam pātyatām dando yair ayam presitah kapih/ Veera! None could be like you in digesting the 'Dharma Vyavastha, Lokaachaara paalana, and Shastriya Sidhhantas' and in that context none of Devaasuraas might be superceded to you. Hence, I am fully convinced that this Vanara's being killed is not justified; but most certainly the personalities who sent the messenger be deserving of death, if you could.sādhur vā yadi vāsādhur parair eṣa samarpitaḥ, bruvan parārtham paravān na dūto vadham arhati/ api cāsmin hate rājan nānyam paśyāmi khecaram, iha yah punar āgacchet param pāram mahodadhih/In fact, the messenger Vaanara shreshstha was only duplicating the traits and inner reactions of the senders viz. Sugriva and Rama and as such there is absolutely no justification of Hanuman's outright murder. Nishaacharaanaamadhiponugjnsyaya Vibheeshanasyottama vaakyamishtam, jaraaha buddhyaa suralokashatrurmahaabalo Rakshasaraajamukhyah/ Thus Ravana heard his younger brother Vibhishana had thus expressed his laudable explanation against Hanuman's challenging assertions, King Ravana had rethought of his earlier decision of killing Hanuman who was but a messenger of Sugriva and Rama.

[Vishleshana on Ravanasura's origin, family background and accomplishments in brief:

Rananasura was born to Vishrava Maharshi and Daitya Kaikeshi.Pulastaya, one of the ten Prajapatis or mind-born sons of Brahma, was maternal grandfather. Kaikeshi, born of Sumali and Tataka had two brothers Maricha and Subahu. On the paternal side, Malyavanasura. Ravana's Prime Queen was the daughter of Mayasura and Apsara Hema and acclaimed as Maha Pativrata. Among his many other wives, the most mentionable after Mandodari were Maya, the daughter of the celestial architect, and the third one Dhanyamalini, Rayana's elder half-brother was Kubera, Vibhishana, Kumbhakarna, Khara the King of Janasthana, Dushana the Senapati of Janasthaana, Ahiravan, the King of Paatala were Ravana's younger brothers. Kumbhini was Ravana's elder sister and wife of Madhu Rakshasa, and Shurpakhana the younger sister. Ravana's were Meghanaada or Indrajit, Atikaya, Akshayakumara, Devantaka, Narantaka, Trishira, Prahasta. Ravanasura was a great scholar of Vedic knowledge under the tutelage of Shukracharya. His perseverance in tapasya to Brahma, he offered his own head and as each time he did so, his heads sprouted again and again and Brahma appeared at his tenth head's offering and blessed him with the option to be a Dashakantha; Brahma granted him of invincibility against Aditi- Diti Putras, Sarpa, Pakshi-Pashus but ignored 'tucchha manavas.' Accodingly, Ravana killed or subdued numberless raakshasadaitya-daanava-pakshi-mriga-jalacharaas and asserted his unique fame. He was an expert in music, dance and all the fine arts. He was an outstanding Shiva Bhakta, having composed Shiva Tandava Gita; as Maha Nandi prevented Shiva Darshana, he quaked Kaiilasha Parvata and accomplished Shiva darshana. As

Parama Shiva granted the boon of Atma Linga to be carried to Lanka Samrajya, Shiva obliged but Ganesha intercepted on way in the guise of a baalaka and got it installed at Gokarna Ksheatra].

Sarga Fifty Three

As Vibhishana appealed, Ravana consents to burn Hanuman's tail to display the blazings to Lanka's public. As Rakshasis conveyed, Sita prays to Agni to lessen the heat. Hanuman starts the revenge.

Tasya tadvacanam śrutvā daśagrīvo mahābalah, deśakālahitam vākyam bhrātur uttamam abravīt/ samyag uktam hi bhavatā dūtavadhyā vigarhitā, avaśyam tu vadhād anyah kriyatām asya nigrahah/ kapīnām kila lāngūlam istam bhavati bhūsanam,tad asya dīpyatām sīghram tena dagdhena gacchatu/ tatah paśyanty imam dīnam angavairūpyakarśitam, samitrā jñātayah sarve bāndhavāh sasuhrjjanāh/ ājñāpayad rākşasendrah puram sarvam sacatvaram, lāngūlena pradīptena rakşobhiḥ pariṇīyatām/ tasya tadvacanam śrutvā rākṣasāḥ kopakarkaśāḥ, veṣṭante tasya lāngūlam jīrṇaiḥ kārpāsikaiḥ paṭaiḥ/ samvestyamāne lāngūle vyavardhata mahākapih, suskam indhanam āsādva vanesv iva hutāsana, tailena parişicyātha te 'gnim tatrāvapātayan/ lāngūlena pradīptena rākṣasāms tān apātayat, roṣāmarṣa parītātmā bālasūryasamānanaḥ/ sa bhūyaḥ samgataiḥ krūrai rākasair harisattamaḥ, nibaddhaḥ krtavān vīras tatkālasadršīm matim/ kāmam khalu na me šaktā nibadhasyāpi rāksasāh, chittvā pāśān samutpatya hanyām aham imān punah/ sarvesām eva paryāpto rāksasānām aham yudhi,kim tu rāmasya prītyartham vişahişye 'ham īdṛśam/ laṅkā carayitavyā me punar eva bhaved iti, rātrau na hi sudṛṣṭā me durgakarmavidhānataḥ, avaśyam eva drastavyā mayā lankā niśākṣaye/ kāmam bandhaiś ca me bhūyaḥ pucchasyoddīpanena ca, pīḍām kurvantu rakṣāmsi na me 'sti manasaḥ śramaḥ/ tatas te samvṛtākāram sattvavantam mahākapim, parigrhya yayur hrstā rāksasāh kapikuñjaram/ śankhabherīninādais tair ghosayantah svakarmabhih, rāksasāh krūrakarmānas cārayanti sma tām purīm/ hanumāms cārayām āsa rāksasānām mahāpurīm, athāpaśyad vimānāni vicitrāni mahākapih/ samyrtān bhūmibhāgām's ca suvibhaktāms ca catvarān, rathyās ca grhasambādhāh kapih srngātakāni ca/ catvaresu catuskesu rājamārge tathaiva ca, ghoṣayanti kapim sarve cārīka iti rākṣasāḥ/ dīpyamāne tatas tasya lāṅgūlāgre hanūmatah, rākṣaṣyas tā virūpākṣyah śaṃsur devyās tad apriyam/ yas tyayā krtasaṃyādah sīte tāmramukhah kapih, lāngūlena pradīptena sa esa parinīvate/ shrutvā tad vacanam krūram ātmāpaharaṇopamam, vaidehī śokasamtaptā hutāśanam upāgamat/ mangalābhimukhī tasya sā tadāsīn mahākapeh, upatasthe viśālāksī prayatā havyayāhanam/ yady asti patiśuśrūsā yady asti caritam tapah, yadi cāsty ekapatnītvam šīto bhava hanūmataḥ/ yadi kaś cid anukrośas tasya mayy asti dhīmataḥ, yadi vā bhāgyaśesam me śīto bhava hanūmatah/ yadi mām vrttasampannām tatsamāgamalālasām, sa vijānāti dharmātmā śīto bhava hanūmatah/ yadi mām tārayaty āryah sugrīvah satyasamgarah, asmād duhkhān mahābāhuḥ śīto bhava hanūmataḥ/ tatas tīkṣṇārcir avyagraḥ pradakṣiṇaśikho 'nalaḥ, jajvāla mrgaśāvākṣyāh śaṁsann iva śivaṁ kapeh/ dahyamāne ca lāṅgūle cintayām āsa vānaraḥ, pradīpto 'gnir ayam kasmān na mām dahati sarvatah/ drśyate ca mahājvālah karoti ca na me rujam, śiśirasyeva sampāto lāngūlāgre pratisthitah/ atha vā tad idam vyaktam vad drstam plavatā mayā, rāmaprabhāvād āścaryam parvatah saritām patau/ vadi tāvat samudrasva mainākasva ca dhīmatha, rāmārtham sambhramas tādṛk kim agnir na kariṣyati/ sītāyāś cānṛśamsyena tejasā rāghavasya ca, pituś ca mama sakhyena na mām dahati pāvakah/ bhūyah sa cintayām āsa muhūrtam kapikuñjarah, utpapātātha vegena nanāda ca mahākapih/ puradvāram tatah śrīmāñ śailaśrngam ivonnatam, vibhaktaraksahsambādham āsasādānilātmajah/ sa bhūtvā śailasamkāśah ksanena punar ātmavān, hrasvatām paramām prāpto bandhanāny avaśātayat/ vimuktaś cābhavac chrīmān punaḥ parvatasamnibhaḥ, vīkṣamāṇaś ca dadṛśe parigham toranāśritam/ sa tam grhya mahābāhuḥ kālāyasapariṣkrtam, rakṣiṇas tān punaḥ sarvān sūdayām āsa mārutih/ sa tān nihatvā raṇacaṇḍavikramaḥ; samīkṣamāṇaḥ punar eva laṅkām, pradīptalāngūlakrtārcimālī; prakāsatāditya ivāmsumālī/

Conceding to the advice of his younger brother Vibhishana, Ravanasura addressed the brother: Vibhishana! I do realise that a messenger from another King need not be killed but surely he should be punished mortally otherwise. *kapīnāṁ kila lāṅgūlam istaṁ bhayati bhūsanam,tad asya dīpyatāṁ śīghraṁ*

tena dagdhena gacchatu/ tatah paśyantv imam dīnam angavairūpyakarśitam, samitrā jñātayah sarve bāndhavāh sasuhrjjanāh/ājñāpayad rāksasendrah puram sarvam sacatvaram, lāngūlena pradīptena rakşobhih parinīyatām/ Vaanara's love their tails most and feel that itself is a sign of their distictiveness as their proud identity. Hence let this be burnt at once. Then back home, his relatives, friends, and followers would all realise of his humiliation. Let his tail be burnt to amuse and enjoy the Lank Public too as he would be taken by its streets and other public places. As soon as he heard this insruction, Veera Hanuman kept on extending his tail as the soldiers initiated by covering it all the old and unused clothes from the public houses. Then Anjaneva kept on elevating his body size and the tail kept on expanding accordingly. There after, the tail was dripped in oil from barrel to barrel. The Rakshasa Rakshasis, especially the vriddhha, baala baalikaas were excited and kept on rejoicing, clapping, dancing around and got rapturous. The soldiers as per the instructions of the higher authorities waited for the day break for the public view and their hilarious view street wise. Then the cruel Rakshasaas who had so far been hiding themselves thus far, gave their appearances now sheepishly intially and boldly later but overcoming their fear now breaking into loud laughters and over joy. They started slogans: You 'Ravana drohi'!you 'vanaraadhama'! what wonderful relief, what a well deserved punishment for you! What a retribution of justice! Actually the King should have ordered public hanging for this spy and so on'. Thus the public went berserk, even as Hanuman was delighted at the public reactions as he was conducted. There were resoundings of 'bheri-shankha ninaadaas' all over the city. hanumām's cārayām āsa rāksasānām mahāpurīm, athāpaśyad vimānāni vicitrāni mahākapih/ samvṛtān bhūmi -bhāgām's ca suvibhaktām's ca catvarān, rathyās ca grhasambādhāh kapiḥ srngāṭakāni ca/ Hanuman too was enjoying the delightful walk all over the high roads, crossings, the beautiful architectutral tastes and finesse of wonderfully laid buildings. Then he had carefully noted the praakaaraas, domes, under ground buildings, the high rise public halls attractively furnished and decorated, the lighting effects, and so on. dīpyamāne tatas tasya lāṅgūlāgre hanūmatah, rāksasyas tā virūpāksyah śaṁsur devyās tad apriyam/ yas tvayā kṛtasaṁvādah sīte tāmramukhah kapih, lāngūlena pradīptena sa esa parinīyate/ Hanuman's long, strong tail was burning like wise, the fierce looking Rakshasis surrounding Devi Sita made hilarious fun of Devi Sita: ' Site! That red faced monkey who was blabbering with you is now being exhibited with his long tail covered with clothes dripped in oil is burnt with fire and is being exhibited all across the roads, streets, lanes and bylanes as the entire citzens of Lankapuri are berserk with cheers, drum beating resounds, and uncontrollable frenzy. shrutvā tad vacanam krūram ātmāpaharaņopamam, vaidehī śokasamtaptā hutāśanam upāgamat/ mangalābhimukhī tasya sā tadāsīn mahākapeh, upatasthe viśālāksī prayatā havyavāhanam/ yady asti patišuśrūsā yady asti caritam tapah, yadi cāsty ekapatnītvam šīto bhava hanūmatah/ As the Rakshasis were making fun and frolic likewise, Videhanadini Devi Sita then started her prayers to Agni Deva not to hurt Veera Hunuman by providing relief to him. yadi kaś cid anukrośas tasya mayy asti dhīmatah, yadi vā bhāgyaśeṣam me śīto bhava hanūmatah/ yadi mām vṛttasampannām tatsamāgamalālasām, sa vijānāti dharmātmā śīto bhava hanūmatah/ yadi mām tārayaty āryah sugrīvah satyasamgaraḥ, asmād duḥkhān mahābāhuḥ śīto bhava hanūmataḥ/ Agni Deva! As you may very kindly appreciate the dire need for the success of Rama Kaarya, as also my own tapsya as a pativrata, please lessen your flame power and cool down your ferocity. Deva! Please help me if only you are merciful to Rama the dharma paraayana and for the sake of saving my 'mangalya sowbhagya'. As Hanuman seeks to reach Rama at the earliest and save me from my misery and death facing crisis, do kindly accept my sincere prayers to you. Mahanubhava, as you note that Veera Hanuman is Vayu Deva's dear son, and as you are Vayu Deva's close and dear friend since both of you are always hand in hand, do kindly reduce your flames to help Vayu Deva, Veera Hanuman, Shri Rama and me to fortify the purity of my paativratya! Then Hanuman too introspected: sītāyāś cānṛśaṁsyena tejasā rāghavasya ca, pituś ca mama sakhyena na mām dahati pāvakaḥ/ bhūyah sa cintayām āsa muhūrtam kapikuñjaraḥ, utpapātātha vegena nanāda ca mahākapih/ Most certainly this is possible due to the kindness of Devi Sita, Shri Ram's maha tejas, and the close affinity of my father Vayu Deva and of Agni Deva, now the sky high fury of the iwaalaas are truly not hurting me now! But my decisiveness now is indeed to repay my revenge'. Decided thus, Veera Hanuman shattered the massive ropes as were laboriously tied by the rakshasaas, and jumped up high with speed and pull to the mountain top. vimuktaś cābhavac chrīmān punah

parvatasamnibhaḥ,vīkṣamāṇaś ca dadṛśe parigham toraṇāśritam/ sa tam gṛhya mahābāhuḥ kālāyasapariṣkṛtam, rakṣiṇas tān punaḥ sarvān sūdayām āsa mārutiḥ/ sa tān nihatvā raṇacaṇḍavikramaḥ; samīkṣamāṇaḥ punar eva laṅkām, pradīptalāṅgūlakṛtārcimālī; prakāśatāditya ivāmśumālī/ Thus having thrown down the rope shackles, Maha Vaanara visualised the overview of Lankapuri and its boundaries and dropped huge boulders on the boundary walls to start with. Then along with the long tail with blazing flames glanced down the excellently arranged and magnificent Lankapuri, Hanuman was then like Bhaskara himself.

Sarga Fifty Four

Hanuman's vengeful 'Lanka Dahana and Vidhvamasa' as the Rakshasaas were shocked wonderstruck whether he was of Rudra Swarupa or Rama Bhakta!

Vīkṣamāṇas tato lankām kapiḥ kṛtamanorathaḥ, vardhamānasamutsāhaḥ kāryaśeṣam acintayat/ kim nu khalv avišistam me kartavvam iha sāmpratam, vad esām raksasām bhūvah samtāpajananam bhavet/ vanam tāvat pramathitam prakṛṣṭā rākṣasā hatāḥ, balaikadeśaḥ kṣapitaḥ śeṣam durgavināśanam/ durge vināśite karma bhavet sukhapariśramam, alpayatnena kārye 'smin mama syāt saphalaḥ śramaḥ/ yo hy ayam mama lāngūle dīpyate havyavāhanah, asya samtarpanam nyāyyam kartum ebhir grhottamaih/ tatah pradīptalāngūlah savidyud iva toyadah, bhavanāgresu lankāyā vicacāra mahākapih, mumoca hanumān agnim kālānalaśikhopamam/ śvasanena ca samyogād ativego mahābalaḥ, kālāgnir iva jajvāla prāvardhata hutāśanaḥ, pradīptam agnim pavanas teṣu veśmasu cārayat/ tāni kāñcanajālāni muktāmaṇimayāni ca, bhavanāny avaśīryanta ratnavanti mahānti ca/ tāni bhagnavimānāni nipetur vasudhātale, bhavanānīva siddhānām ambarāt punyasamksaye/ vajravidrumavaidūryamuktārajata samhitān, vicitrān bhavanād dhātūn syandamānān dadarśa sah/ nāgnis tṛpyati kāsthānām tṛnānām ca yathā tathā, hanūmān rāksasendrānām vadhe kim cin na tṛpyati/ hutāśanajvālasamāvṛtā sā; hatapravīrā parivṛttayodhā, hanūmātaḥ krodhabalābhibhūtā; babhūva śāpopahateva laṅkā/ sasambhramam trastavişannarākşasām; samujjvalaj jvālahutāśanānkitām,dadarśa lankām hanumān mahāmanāh; svayambhukopopahatām ivāvanim/ sa rākṣasāms tān subahūms ca hatvā; vanam ca bhanktvā bahupādapam tat, visrjya rakso bhavanesu cāgnim; jagāma rāmam manasā mahātmā/ lankām samastām samdīpya lāngūlāgnim mahākapih, nirvāpayām āsa tadā samudre harisattamaḥ/

Having accomplished all the objectives of crossing the ocean, entry into Lankapuri, visiting Ravana's palace, discovering the very place where Devi Sita was kept, Rayana Darshana and his stern warning to Devi Sita, familiarising and convincing her that he was sent by Rama-Sugrivas, parting her, his successful spree of destruction of gardens, teams of rakshasas, pretentious surrender to Brahmastra, face to face challenge to Ravana as the latter's so called punishment of his tail to be burnt, Agni Deva's help, his relief followed by noting the details of Lanka's contours of curves and lanes, snapping off the bandhana and destroying the outer walls by boulders thrown down a mountain, now Veera Hanuman was ready to use his mighty already flamed up tail to burn the major parts of Lanka puri and enjoy the 'artaa naadaas' of the proud citizens as their abodes crumble down by the flames of his massive tail. yo hy ayam mama lāṅgūle dīpyate havyavāhanah, asya samtarpanam nyāyyam kartum ebhir grhottamaih/ tatah pradīptalāngūlah savidyud iva toyadah, bhavanāgreşu lankāyā vicacāra mahākapih, mumoca hanumān agnim kālānalaśikhopamam/ Veera Vayu Putra decided that the tail displaying huge 'agnijvaalaas' be extended and expanded suitably as that should be proper and justified retribution by 'dharma and nyaaya' and satisfy the appettite of Agni Deva. So pondering, he lengthened his tail further and further as the flames would attack the well decorared the external and remotely interior corners of the fabulous houses get burnt off en mass to ashes. Jumping from place to place and shattering house after house, Hanuman assumed the 'Kaalaagni Swarupa'. Then very systematically he destroyed the abodes of Maha Rakshasaas as he had already noted well by his memory's screen already such as Vajradamshtra, Shuka, buddhhi maan Saarana, Indrajit Meghanada, Jambumali, Sumaali, Rashmiketu, Surya shatru, Hrasvakarni, Damshtra, Rakshas veera, Romesha, Ranonttamamattha, Dhyajagriya, Bhayanaka Vidyujjihya,

Hastimukha, Karaala, Vishaala, Shonitaaksha, Kumbhakarna, Makaraaksha, Naraantaka, Kumbha, Nikumbha, Yagjna Shatru, Brahma shatru, and such very many Maha Rakshas Veeraas. Varjiyatvaa mahateja Vibhishana griham prati, krama maaah kramenaiva dadaahaa Haripubgavah/ Maha Teja Kapishreshtha Hanuman had then only spared the abode of Vibhishana's precious bungalow. With that exception, Hanuman burnt down all the houses of all the raskshas veeraas. śvasanena ca samyogād ativego mahābalaḥ, kālāgnir iva jajvāla prāvardhata hutāśanaḥ, pradīptam agnim pavanas teṣu veśmasu cārayat/ With vaayu vega, the flames got erased by Vayu putra made 'garjanas' similar to pralayakaala meghas. As the rows of 'bhuvanas' were crumbled to ash, the residents ran hither and thither to save a few secect precious possessions and the 'arta naadaas' of cries and shoutings of deseparation were resounding to the skies. Hanuman was little contented with the yellings of rakshasa veeraas who stood against him and were dead like Devi Vasundhara remained dissatisfied, and hence the mass killings and near total destruction of the abodes in rows and the generation of the cryings of harassment and agony. Hanumataa vegavataa Vaanarena mahaatmanaa, Lankaapuram pradagdham tas Rudrena Tripuram yathaa/ Vegashaali Vaanara Veera Viranjaneya burnt off Lankapuri, just as Maha Rudra had burnt off the Tripuras in the ages of the yore!

[Vishleshana on Parama Shiva's destruction of Tripuraasuras vide Kurma Purana

'As the ever shrewdest and the nastiest Daitya called Maya commenced his brutal Tapasya, two more Danavas of equal disrepute and desperation viz. Vidyunmali and Taraka joined him and their extreme tenacity was such that they meditated in snow valleys during high winter nights, amid 'Panchagnis' during blood blister summer days and during incessant and torrential rains standing under open skies. It looked that Earth trembled with the severity of their meditation and Brahma had to bestow the choice boons of indestructibility except by Parameswara that too by a single arrow-shot destroying their abodes together. The most noted top architect and builder that he was, Mayasura built 'Tripuras'/ three Tower Castles-each of hundred yojanas- one of indestructible iron on Earth, another on the Sky made of shining silver and the third above the second one made of glittering gold, all encased in inner- castle structures of same size of circumference but each invisible from outside in all directions. Each of the Tripuras is equipped with 'yantras'/ machines that could destroy hundreds in each shot, Chakras, Trishulas, Dhwajas on the high wall structures, and 'Shikharas' (minarets) recognisable through the mountain tops of Meru and Mandarachala. These 'Puras' were insurmountable, let alone destructible to Devas, Danavas and any other species, excepting Maha Deva! Daithyas had very contented lives inside the Tripuras. Devas and other Celestial Beings were thrown out of their abodes and all the luxuries and joys of Swarga were confiscated. In course of time, the inhabitants of Tripuras became intolerable, awfully sinful, corrupt, wicked and highly immoral. While Maya Daitya was kept busy in the deeds of beauty, living comfort and pressing into the services of Devas as their servants to cater to the happiness of the inhabitant Daityas, Vidyunmali was kept busy with matters of Internal Administration and Taraka was made commander in Chief. In course of time, there came inevitable internal dissensions, group politics, differences of living styles and class-distinctions, 'Alakshmi' (poverty), 'Asuya' (jealousy), Trishna (avarice), 'Vibhuksha' (hunger), Kali and Kalaha (quarrels) among the residents of the Tripuras. This situation of 'Alakshmi' led to 'Atyaachaaras' or transgressions on Devas, other Celestial Beings, Maharshis, the entire humanity and all other species of Lord's creation. The canker spread across the 'Tribhuvanas' and Devas sought refuge from Brahma who gave the boons to the three goons! Lord Brahma pacified the delegation of Devas and assured that the heinous and wildly vicious deeds of the Trio of Daityas reached a climax and that it was time to approach Parama Shiva who was the one and only Saviour that could destroy the abodes of the three Daityas in one go with one arrow, even if these residences were far apart from each other on Prithvi, Akaash and far beyond in the strong-hold Tripura fortresses! As Devas and Brahma reached Maha Deva, they visioned 'Trishulapaani Shankar' relaxing with Devi Parvati and Mahatma Nandi. They saw that 'Bhuta bhavishya Swami'whose eyes were red like 'Agni kundas'and physique was shimmering with thousand Suns with a pleasant countenance ornamented with a Bala Purna Chandra, even as Devas broke down into ecstacy and extolled him. Having pleased Parama Shiva thus, Devas explained the gravity and

seriousness of the crisis created by the Tripura Daityas who not only unseated and tormented Devas and Celestial Entities but were also sending shock-waves all over the Universe, humiliating Sages, frightening women and children, making mass-scale carnage and blood bath of humanity and uprooting Dharma and age-old Values and Principles. Parameshwara infused confidence into the demoralised Devas and asked them to construct an exceptional chariot with unique specifications: Prithvi as the Ratha / Chariot, Meru and Mandara Mountains as axles, Surya and Chandra as Chakras made of gold and silver respectively, the Four Vedas of Ruk-Yajur-Sama and Atharva acted as the horses; Shukra, Brihaspati, Budha, Mangal, and Shanaischara seated on the Ratha ready to charge; the famous serpents viz. Takshaka, Karkotaka, Dhanajaya and Padmadwaya acted as the strings which were tied to the horses; most poisonous snakes like Surasa, Devashuni, Sarama, Kadru, Vinata, Shuchi, Trusha, and Bubhuksha were used as arrows; Mrutyu, Brahmahatya, Gohatya, Balahatya and Prajaabhaya were loaded on the Chariot so that they get activised as maces; Omkara and Vashatkara were the symbols on the Ratha; Sinivali, Kuhu, Raaka and Anumati - the 'Adhishtana'/ in charge Deities of Chaturdashi, Amavasya, Suddha Purnima, Pratipadika Purnima respectively were used as auxiliary strings to the horses; the dhanush made of six 'ritus'/ seasons which is safeguarded by Devi Ambika herself never to be broken; the specific arrow with which to kill the Tripurasura was strengthened by Vishnu, Soma and Agni and its head propelled by Agni and Chandra by its rear and Vishnu Maya smeared all over; and the extreme poison of Nagaraja Vasuki was loaded to ensure stability and speed of the arrow; Vayu was made in charge of the high velocity of the Chariot and finally Brahma was the Charioteer and Sesha Naag was made in charge of the personal security of Brahma as also of the Chariot. Yama Raja with his buffalo, Kubera on his serpent, Indra on Iravata, Ganeswara by his Mushika Vahana, Karikeya on his Peacock, Nandeshwara with his Shula running behind and sides of the Ratha were in full preparedness. Maharshis Bhrigu, Bharadwaja, Vasishtha, Goutama, Kratu, Pulastya, Pulaha, Marichi, Atri, Angira, Parashara, and Agastya were there too at the kick-start of the Battle to recite Veda Vachanas and Shiv Stutis. The Pramatha ganas were ready to charge as the army against the opponents- all swarmed around the Rath. Meanwhile, Sage Narada reached the Tripuras and tried his best to mend his ways, give back Indrapuri to Devas and avoid the worst ever battle in which the indestructible Tripuras would be destroyed along with the Three Demons as Maha Deva himself was approaching these Places with full preparation. Instead of talking peace, the Demons alerted their vast armies, and prepared for turning their defensive positions to that of an offence. On the instruction of Shankara Deva, Indra took his enormous army and attacked Tripura. As the Deva Sena made a highly offensive assault in full force, what with the revenge and frustration experienced by them for long as they were out of power as also owing to the excellent backing of Maheswara, they seized the best part of Tripuras. While quite a few Danavas sought to escape for their lives through the exit gates of Tripuras, Pramatha ganas calculated that the enemies would try to sneek out at those points and buchered thousands of Danavas. The remaining Danavas inside the Trinagaris were utterly confused by contradictoy shouts that Taraka died or Shiva was defeated. In that melee, a srong contingent of Danavas quickly regrouped their men and material to make offensive attacks under the leadership of Vidunmali and Maya. Ganeswara divided Tripuras in three regions as Nandeswara was attacking Vudyunmali, while he was in position against Maya. Meanwhile, Vidyunmali threw a 'Parigha' on Nandi who was hurt and the enraged three 'Parshadaganas' named Ghantaakarna, Shankukarna and Mahakaal retaliated; they assumed the Forms of Ganeswara and assailed Vidyunmali by making the roars of lions. Even while the Parswaganas were about to leap on Vidyunmali, the hurt Nandikeswara hurled a Rudra Shakti on the demon who fell down like a mountain. There was utter silence among Danavas who were stunned and retreated. But, the highly cunning and crafty Mayasura chased the Ganas of Ganeshwara to divert attention of his own men from the fallen Vidyunmali to the Ganesha ganas. Mayasura created rains of Agni, crocodiles, snakes, huge mountains, lions, tigers, trees, black deers, eight-legged 'Sharabhas' / a species of oversized deer, torrential rain and powerful sand storms. As Taraka came into the battle field, Devas too appeared in full force, including Yamaraja, Varuna, Bhaskara, Kartikeya heading a Deva Sena of a Crore, with Indra, Shanaishchara, Chandra, and Rudras. The 'Maayavi' Mayaasura created several Wells full of herbal juices for envigoration and Danavas were in high spirits as their body strength increased manifold. But Keshava took the form of 'Vrishabha' and drank up the juice along with Devas and dried up the wells and

Devas occupied the Tripuras finally. Mayasura and other Daityas were forced to hide in the Sea. That was the decisive moment when there was an all-out battle on the seashores. Shankara divided the 'Tridevamaya' arrow into three parts and released it when Tripuras were destroyed; Shiva felt sad however that one of his own dear devotees, Mayasura too was involved. Nandi went faster than the arrow and saved Maya, well before the Tripuras were destroyed. In the end Taraka and Vidyunmali were killed and Maya was condoned with the curse of Indra that all his constructions would be burnt off eventually and Mayasura continued to hide in the Seas]

Further stanzas continued: The citizens of Lankapuri were truly rattled with fear at the massive flames all over including the houses, trees, gardens, public places, and so on, some of the Rakshasaas had exchanged their views: 'What! In this form of a Vanara, has Vajra dhari Indra desended to Lanka puri; is he otherwise Varuna, or Vayu, Rudra, Agni, Surya, or possibly Kubera. In any case is should be Kaala! Other wise Bhagavan Vishnu my his powers of Maya, had manifested himself! Then they stated screeming: hey father, he my child, he Bhagavan! What a frightening shape that this famed Lanka puri has taken now to ashes! hutāśanajvālasamāyrtā sā; hatapravīrā pariyrttayodhā, hanūmātah krodhabalābhibhūtā; babhūva śāpopahateva lankā/ sasambhramam trastaviṣaṇṇarākṣasām; samujjvalaj jvālahutāśanānkitām,dadarśa lankām hanumān mahāmanāḥ; svayambhukopopahatām ivāvanim/ Thus subjected by Hanuman's rage, the best part of Lankapuri was burnt off to ashes and the damage and desruction appeared phenomenal by a single Vanara and its burning tail which caused ripples of joy and laughter initially had eventually led to a never heard of, nor of comprehensible catastrophic tragedy. Mahananasvi Hanuman was probably manifested by Brahma Deva's anger as a jwaalaamukhi swarupa. sa rākṣasāms tān subahūms ca hatvā; vanam ca bhanktvā bahupādapam tat, visrjya rakṣo bhavaneṣu cāgnim; jagāma rāmam manasā mahātmā/ lankām samastām samdīpya lāngūlāgnim mahākapih, nirvāpayām āsa tadā samudre harisattamah/ Then Pavana kumara Vaanara veera who killed a series of raksha veeras, destroyed Pramadaavana, burnt off the best parts of Lankapuri and then took to the 'naama smarana' of Shri Rama! Subsequently, he leaped off to the seashore, washed of his tail thus far in flames, recalled the extreme kindness of Agni Deva, and blessings of Vaayu Deva and finally resorted to Shri Rama smarana.

Sarga Fifty Five

Veera Anjaneya's successful 'Lanka Dahana' but concerned of Devi Sita' safety- her 'punardarshana'

Samdīpyamānām vidhvastām trastarakso ganām purīm, aveksya hānumāml lankām cintayām āsa vānaraḥ/ tasyābhūt sumahāms trāsaḥ kutsā cātmany ajāyata, lankām pradahatā karma kimsvit kṛtam idam mayā/ dhanyās te puruṣaśresṭha ye buddhyā kopam utthitam, nirundhanti mahātmāno dīptam agnim ivāmbhasā/ yadi dagdhā tv iyam lankā nūnam āryāpi jānakī, dagdhā tena mayā bhartur hatam kāryam ajānatā/ yad artham ayam ārambhas tat kāryam ayasāditam, mayā hi dahatā laṅkāṁ na sītā pariraksitā/ īsatkārvam idam kārvam krtam āsīn na samśavah, tasva krodhābhibhūtena mavā mūlaksavah krtah/ vinastā jānakī vyaktam na hy adagdhaḥ pradrsyate, lankāyāḥ kas cid uddesaḥ sarvā bhasmīkrtā purī/ yadi tad vihatam kāryam mayā prajñāviparyayāt, ihaiva prānasamnyāso mamāpi hy atirocate/ kim agnau nipatāmy adya āhosvid vadavāmukhe, śarīram āho sattvānām dadmi sāgaravāsinām/ katham hi jīvatā śakyo mayā drastum harīśvarah, tau vā purusaśārdūlau kāryasarvasvaghātinā/ mayā khalu tad evedam roşadoşāt pradarsitam, prathitam trişu lokeşu kapitam anavasthitam/ dhig astu rājasam bhāvam anīsam anavasthitam, īśvareṇāpi yad rāgān mayā sītā na rakṣitā/ vinaṣṭāyām tu sītāyām tāv ubhau vinaśiṣyataḥ, tayor vināśe sugrīvah sabandhur vinaśiṣyati/ etad eva vacaḥ śrutvā bharato bhrātṛvatsalaḥ, dharmātmā sahaśatrughnah katham śakṣyati jīvitum/ ikṣvākuvamśe dharmiṣṭhe gate nāśam asamśayam, bhaviṣyanti prajāh sarvāh śokasamtāpapīditāh/ tad aham bhāgyarahito luptadharmārthasamgrahah, rosadosa parītātmā vyaktam lokavināśanah/ iti cintayatas tasya nimittāny upapedire, pūram apy upalabdhāni sākṣāt punar acintayat/ atha vā cārusarvāṅgī rakṣitā svena tejasā, na naśiṣyati kalyāṇī nāgnir agnau pravartate/ na hi dharmān manas tasya bhāryām amitatejasaḥ, svacāritrābhiguptām tām sprastum arhati pāvakaḥ/ nūnam rāmaprabhāvena vaidehyāḥ sukrtena ca, yan mām dahanakarmāyam nādahad dhavyavāhanaḥ/ trayāṇām bharatādīnām bhrātrṇām devatā ca yā, rāmasya ca manaḥkāntā sā katham vinaśiṣyati/ yad vā dahanakarmāyam sarvatra prabhur avyayaḥ, na me dahati lāngūlam katham āryām pradhakṣyati/ tapasā satyavākyena ananyatvāc ca bhartari, api sā nirdahed agnim na tām agniḥ pradhakṣyati/ sa tathā cintayams tatra devyā dharmaparigraham,śuśrāva hanumān vākyam cāraṇānām mahātmanām/ aho khalu krtam karma durviṣahyam hanūmatā, agnim visrjatābhīkṣṇam bhīmam rākṣasasadmani/.dagdheyam nagarī lankā sāṭṭaprākāratoraṇā, jānakī na ca dagdheti vismayo 'dbhuta eva naḥ/ sa nimittaiś ca dṛṣṭārthaiḥ kāraṇaiś ca mahāguṇaiḥ, rṣivākyaiś ca hanumān abhavat prītamānasaḥ, tataḥ kapiḥ prāptamanorathārthas; tām akṣatām rājasutām viditvā, pratyakṣatas tām punar eva dṛṣṭvā; pratiprayāṇāya matim cakāra/

As Hanuman no doubt overjoyed at the devastation of their very living homes by the flames from his tail of a singular Vaanara, the alarmed Lanka citizens were shaken to the core with disbelief. But Hanuman inrospected: Hai! I had not realised as to what had I done to Lanka out of anger and vengeance affecting the common public. Indeed, those 'maha manasvis' seek to resist anger with controlled mind, like the common public resort to sprinkle water on fire. Kruddhah paapam na kuryaat kah kruddhho hatyaad guroonapi, kruddhah parushayaa vaachaa narah sadhhuunadhikshipet/ Vaachyaavaachyam prakupito na vijaanaati arhichit, naa kaaryamasti kruddhasya naavaachyam vidyate kacchhit/ Yah samutpatitam krodham kshamayaiva nirasyati, yathoragatvacham jeeranaa savai purusha uchyate/ Does not anger lead to sinfulness as that might even end up even with Guru Hatya! As anger dominates and crosses limits, words and blamings are normal instincts. As one's heart generates anger, 'sanana shakti'gets dissolved like a serpent having discarded its old skin hisses more. Thus Hanuman looked back as having hurt normal public, as the evil Rakshasaas should certainly deserve retribution. Then he realised that in this melee, what is the situation of Devi Sita's safety! dhig astu rājasam bhāvam anīśam anavasthitam, īśvarenāpi yad rāgān mayā sītā na raksitā/ vinastāyām tu sītāyām tāv ubhau vinasisyatah, tayor vināse sugrīvah sabandhur vinaśisyati/ Aho! My mind was blank and my thoughts were totally misleading as never pondered about Devi Sitas's personal safety and kept on burning Lanka right and left! Did I then perform a task ending up 'Swamini hatha! Shame in me. If Lanka were destroyed and the most untoward and shameful eventuality were to have resulted, the 'chain-repercussions' would be too tragic. It appears that there are little sparings of Lankapuri from the burning of my tail and the ashes generated. If only anything untoward had been caused, could I face Sugriva, let alone Rama Lakshmanas, Bharata Shatrugnas, the mothers, Ayodhya vaasis and Janaka Rajya vaasis! May I then jump alive into fierce flames myself!'. Thus having pondered about the misleading thoughts in the misplaced corners of his inner conscience, Hanuman then asserted and assured himself: Yad vaa dahana karmaayam sarvatra prabhuravyah, na me dahati laangulam kathaamaayaam pradhakshyati/ Tapasaa satyavaakyena ananyataatvaacha bhartari, asou vinirdaharagnim na taamaagnih prathakshyati/ Indeed, this 'maha daahaka avinaashi agni deva' does retain its own magnificence and fame as that might undoubtedly burn off always, yet my own tail retained its cooling effect; then how could Devi Mother be not spared! Considering her own 'dharmaacharana and tapasya, satya bhashana, ananya paiyratya', how Agni Deva would not spare her!' Thus having pondered intensely, Hanuman reached the place of her retention as Devi Sita herself remarked: Aho khalu kritamn karma durvigaaham Hanumataa, Agnim visrujataa teekshnam bheemam raakshassasadyani/dagdheyam nagarī lankā sāttaprākāratoranā, jānakī na ca dagdheti vismayo 'dbhuta eva nah/ Aho! What all miraculous and unbelievable acts have been accomplished! Maha Veeranjaneya had successfully burnt off Lanka as raksha-stree-baala-vriddhhas were left homeless with sky rocketing cries while the nagara was pulled down to ashes! As Hanuman touched Devi Sita's feet, these nectar like words from her face came out, he was truly in rapturous heart beatings. sa nimittaiś ca drstārthaiḥ kāraṇaiś ca mahāguṇaiḥ rsivākyaiś ca hanumān abhavat prītamānasaḥ, tataḥ kapih prāptamanorathārthas; tām aksatām rājasutām viditvā, pratyaksatas tām punar eva dṛstvā; pratiprayānāya matim cakāra/Thus having personally had his personal experiences of welcome omens, ever since he was crossing the maha sagara, Giri shreshtha Mainaka kripa, Simhilka Vadha, Lanka Prayesha, Devi Sita Darshana, convincing her of his genuiness, killings of 'aneka rakasha veeras',

'brahmastra janita peedaa nivritthi', 'agni deva kripa kataaksha' and now 'Devi Sita purdarshana' Thus he was overwhelmed by the success series,most obviously due essentially owing to Rama bhakti alone! Rama bhakti alone!

Sarga Fifty Six

<u>Veera Hanuman reassuring Devi Sita of the soonest arrival of Rama Laksamanas, jumped off from the peak of Arishta Parvata to cross the Maha Sagara as vanara pramukhas were waiting anxiously.</u>

Tatas tu śimśapāmūle jānakīm paryavasthitām, abhivādyābravīd diṣṭyā paśyāmi tvām ihākṣatām/ tatas tam prasthitam sītā vīksamānā punah punah, bhartruh snehānvitam vākyam hanūmantam abhāsata/ kāmam asya tvam evaikah kāryasya parisādhane, paryāptah paravīraghna yaśasyas te balodayah/ balais tu samkulām kṛtvā lankām parabalārdanah, mām nayed yadi kākutsthas tasya tat sādṛśam bhavet/ tad yathā tasya vikrāntam anurūpam mahātmanah, bhavaty āhavaśūrasya tattvam evopapādaya/ tad arthopahitam vākvam praśritam hetusamhitam, niśamya hanumāms tasvā vākvam uttaram abravīt/ kşipram eşyati kākutstho haryṛkṣapravarair vṛtaḥ, yas te yudhi vijityārīñ śokam vyapanayiṣyati/ evam āśvāsya vaidehīm hanūmān mārutātmajaḥ, gamanāya matim krtvā vaidehīm abhyavādayat/ tataḥ sa kapiśārdūlah svāmisamdarśanotsukah,āruroha giriśrestham aristam arimardanah/ tungapadmakajustā bhir nīlābhir vanarājibhih, sālatālāśvakarnaiś ca vamsais ca bahubhir vṛtam/latāvitānair vitataih puspavadbhir alamkṛtam, nānāmṛgagaṇākīrṇam dhātuniṣyandabhūṣitam/ bahuprasravaṇopetam śilāsamcayasamkaṭam, maharṣiyakṣagandharvakimnaroragasevitam/latāpādapasambādham simhākulitakandaram, vyāghrasamghasamākīrṇam svādumūlaphaladrumam/ tam ārurohātibalaḥ parvatam plavagottamah, rāmadarśanaśīghrena praharsenābhicoditah/ tena pādatalākrāntā ramyesu girisānusu, saghosāh samaśīryanta śilāś cūrnīkṛtās tatah/ sa tam āruhya śailendram vyavardhata mahākapih, daksinād uttaram pāram prārthayaml lavanāmbhasah/ adhiruhya tato vīrah parvatam pavanātmajah, dadarśa sāgaram bhīmam mīnoraganisevitam/sa māruta ivākāśam mārutasvātma sambhavah, prapede harisārdūlo daksiņād uttarām diśam/ sa tadā pīḍitas tena kapinā parvatottamaḥ, rarāsa saha tair bhūtaih prāvišad vasudhātalam, kampamānaiš ca šikharaih patadbhir api ca drumaih/ tasyoruvegān mathitāh pādapāh puspaśālinah, nipetur bhūtale rugnāh śakrāyudhahatā iva/ kandarodara - samsthānām pīḍitānām mahaujasām, simhānām ninado bhīmo nabho bhindan sa śuśruve/ srastavyāviddhavasanā vyākulīkrtabhūsanā, vidyādharyah samutpetuh sahasā dharanīdharāt/ atipramānā balino dīptajihvā mahāvisāh, nipīditaśirogrīvā vyavestanta mahāhayah/ kimnaroragagandharvayaksavidyādharās tathā, pīditam tam nagavaram tyaktvā gaganam āsthitāh/ sa ca bhūmidharah śrīmān balinā tena pīditah, savṛksaśikharodagrāh praviveśa rasātalam/ daśayojanavistāras trimśadyojanam ucchritah, dharanyām samatām yātah sa babhūva dharādharah/

Veera Anjaneya having thus seen Devi Sita seated under the Ashoka Vriksha and greeted her as the Devi addressed him stating that since he himself had witnessed her, conveyed her present status and the subsequent sequences, he might convey to Shri Rama Lakshmana Sugrivas appropriately. She further stated: 'Vaanara Pravara, in your having seen me daringly had no doubt provided me solace for now, especially having noted and appreciated your deeds of bravery and unparalleled Rama Bhakti. As you are leaving me away, I should survive on hope awaiting my survival further. Veera! I have been experiencing shocks after shocks all along my life and have gradually lost my physical and mental forbearance and your visit to me now would lead to further trepidation of my heart balancing hope and relief on the wavering swing. To start with, my concern was whether Rama Lashnmanas could imagine as to where could I be, then they were destined to meet the fugitive king of vaanaras Sugriva and you, then even meeting you, whether Rama Lakshmanas could cross this Maha Sagara! *Trayanameva bhutaanaam saarasasyaami langhane, shaktih syaada Vainateyasya taba vaa Maarutasya vaa/* Only three of the Beings in Brahma Shrishti, only three could cross this ocean that is yourself, Garuda and Vayu Deva. Only you are blessed with this unusual capability but not Rama Lakshmanas any way.' Then Hanuman replied: Devi! There are other Vaanara Bhalluka Veeras determined to save you any way. Moreover

thousand crores of Vaanaraas under the command of King Sugriva too are ready to assist. Along with them, Rama Lakshmanas should soon arrive here and uproot the enemy and as such you may please be a bit patient for some time yet.' Having thus reassured and pacified Devi Sita, veera Hanuman decided to return to the other shores if the Maha Samudra. tatah sa kapiśārdūlah svāmisamdarśanotsukah,āruroha giriśrestham aristam arimardanah/ He was anxious to reach Shri Rama darshana and jumped towards the Arishta Giri and mounted it having seen th parvata shrenis, huge trees bearing sweet fruits irressistible to eay and satisfy his appetite, series of water falls in which to refresh, delighted with the sonorous and sweet sounds of birds, admiring the mahatmas engrossed with their tapasya, viewing the abodes on the mountain caves of Maharshi=Yaksha-Gandharva-Kinnara- Maha Nagas- the resting lions, tigers, bears and so on. Having thus reached the Shaila Raja Shikhaara, Anjaneya expanded his physique with the desire of travelling from south to north. sa ca bhūmidharah śrīmān balinā tena pīditah, savrksaśikharodagrāh praviveśa rasātalam/ daśayojanavistāras trimśadyojanam ucchritah, dharanyām samatām yātah sa babhūva dharādharah/ As Hanuman's huge feet of his gigantic body was pressed down with a push, there appeared a thunderous sound as the maha vrikshas were uprooted rolling down to earth, the pranis in the caves were shocked, the fierce loins and tigers were alarmed as if there was a vajraayudha hit the 'Parvata Shikhara'. As balavaan Hanuman jumped off with 'vayu vega' pressing the mountain down to earth it was like the gigantic trees slipped down the 'rasaatala' of the lokas under the earth. Thus the 'arishta parvata' of thirty yojanas height and ten yojanas of width looked to the level of earth pressed by the feet of the 'Maha Vanara's mountanous profile. It was at Vayu Vega, that the Vayu Putra crossed and reached the other shore skybound, as a child's play.

Sarga Fifty Seven

As Vayu Putra dashed through thick sky high clouds to return to the ever awaiting Vanara yoddhas, the latter were ever concerned, but his return overjoyed them especially Angada and Jambavan

Sacandrakumudam ramyam sārkakāraṇḍavam śubham, tiṣyaśravaṇakadambam abhraśaivalaśādvalam/ punaryasu mahāmīnam lohitāngamahāgrah, airāvatamahādvīpam svātīhamsaviloditam/ vātasamghātajātormim candrāmsusisirāmbumat,bhujamgayaksagandharvaprabuddhakamalotpalam/ grasamāna ivākāśam tārādhipam ivālikhan, harann iva sanakṣatram gaganam sārkamaṇḍalam/ mārutasyālayam śrīmān kapir vyomacaro mahān, hanūmān meghajālāni vikarsann iva gacchati/ pāndurārunavarnāni nīlamāñjisthakāni ca, haritārunavarnāni mahābhrāni cakāśire/ praviśann abhrajālāni niskramams ca punah punah, pracchannas ca prakāsas ca candramā iva laksyate/ nadan nādena mahatā meghasvanamahāsvanah, ājagāma mahātejāh punar madhyena sāgaram/ parvatendram sunābham ca samupaspṛśya vīryavān, jyāmukta iva nārāco mahāvego 'bhyupāgatah/ sa kim cid anusamprāptah samālokya mahāgirim, mahendrameghasamkāśam nanāda haripumgavah/ niśamya nadato nādam vānarās te samantatah, babhūvur utsukāh sarve suhrddarsanakānksinah/ jāmbavān sa hariśresthah prītisamhrstamānasah, upāmantrya harīn sarvān idam vacanam abravīt/ sarvathā krtakāryo 'sau hanūmān nātra samśayah, na hv asyākrtakāryasya nāda evamvidho bhavet/ tasyā bāhūruvegam ca ninādam ca mahātmanaḥ, niśamya harayo hṛṣṭāḥ samutpetus tatas tataḥ/ te nagāgrān nagāgrāṇi śikharāc chikharāni ca, prahrstāh samapadyanta hanūmantam didṛksavah/ te prītāh pādapāgresu grhya śākhāh supuspitāh, vāsāmsīva prakāśāni samāvidhyanta vānarāh/ tam abhraghanasamkāśam āpatantam mahākapim, dṛstvā te vānarāh sarve tasthuh prāñjalayas tadā/ tatas tu vegavāms tasya girer girinibhah kapih, nipapāta mahendrasya śikhare pādapākule/ tatas te prītamanasah sarve vānarapumgavāh, hanūmantam mahātmānam parivāryopatasthire/ parivārya ca te sarve parām prītim upāgatāḥ, prahṛṣṭavadanāḥ sarve tam arogam upāgatam/ upāyanāni cādāya mūlāni ca phalāni ca, pratyarcayan hariśreṣṭham harayo mārutātmajam/ vinedur muditāḥ ke cic cakruḥ kila kilām tathā, hṛṣṭāḥ pādapa śākhāś ca āninyur vānararsabhāh/ hanūmāms tu gurūn vṛddhāñ jāmbavat pramukhāms tadā, kumāram angadam caiva so 'vandata mahākapih/ sa tābhyām pūjitah pūjyah kapibhiś ca prasāditah, dṛstā devīti vikrāntaḥ samkṣepeṇa nyavedayat/ niṣasāda ca hastena grhītvā vālinaḥ sutam, ramaṇīye vanoddeśe mahendrasya gires tadā/ hanūmān abravīd dhrstas tadā tān vānararsabhān, aśokavanikāsamsthā drstā

sā janakātmajā/ rakṣyamāṇā sughorābhī rākṣasībhir aninditā, ekaveṇīdharā bālā rāmadarśanalālasā,upavāsapariśrāntā malinā jaṭilā kṛśā/ tato dṛṣṭeti vacanam mahārtham amṛtopamam, niśamya māruteḥ sarve muditā vānarā bhavan/ kṣveḍanty anye nadanty anye garjanty anye mahābalāḥ, cakruḥ kila kilām anye pratigarjanti cāpare/ ke cid ucchritalāngūlāḥ prahṛṣṭāḥ kapikuñjarāḥ, añcitāyatadīrghāṇi lāngūlāni pravivyadhuḥ/ apare tu hanūmantam vānarā vāraṇopamam, āplutya giriśṛngebhyaḥ samspṛśanti sma harṣitāḥ/ uktavākyam hanūmantam angadas tu tadābravīt, sarveṣām harivīrāṇām madhye vācam anuttamām/ sattve vīrye na te kaś cit samo vānaravidyate, yad avaplutya vistīrṇam sāgaram punar āgataḥ/ diṣṭyā dṛṣṭā tvayā devī rāmapatnī yaśasvinī, diṣṭyā tyakṣyati kākutsthaḥ śokam sītā viyogajam/ tato 'ngadam hanūmantam jāmbavantam ca vānarāḥ, parivārya pramuditā bhejire vipulāḥ śilāḥ/ śrotukāmāḥ samudrasya laṅghanam vānarottamāḥ, darśanam cāpi laṅkāyāḥ sītāyā rāvaṇasya ca, tasthuḥ prāñjalayaḥ sarve hanūmad vadanonmukhāḥ/ tasthau tatrāṅgadaḥ śrīmān vānarair bahubhir vṛtaḥ, upāsyamāno vibudhair divi devapatir yathā/ hanūmatā kīrtimatā yaśasvinā; tathāṅgadenāṅgada -baddhabāhunā, mudā tadādhyāsitam unnatam mahan; mahīdharāgram jvalitam śriyābhavat/

Veera Hanaman with his gigantic body flying high on the sky as witnessing the grandeur of Surya-Chandra-Nakshatra Mandalis while tearing through the megha samuhas assuming white-red-blue-greenindigo - yellow hues like Maha Garuda with Vayu Vega. As he was still recalling the 'atranaadaas' of the very many rakshasa veeras being killed and the Lankapuri citizens as their houses were shattered, he realised that the 'megha garjanas' as pierced by the weight of mounainous body of his was several times far more thus amused by the simili! nadan nādena mahatā meghasvanamahāsvanaḥ, ājagāma mahātejāḥ punar madhyena sāgaram/ parvatendram sunābham ca samupaspṛśya vīryavān, jyāmukta iva nārāco mahāvego 'bhyupāgatah/ sa kim cid anusamprāptah samālokya mahāgirim, mahendrameghasamkāśam nanāda haripumgavah/As he was thus penetrating through the clouds emanating shrieking sounds, Parvata Raja Sunabha or Mainaka was noticed as he gave an affectionate glance and rushed like an arrow released with mighty hands passed the midway. Soon thereafter, he sighted Mahendra giri and made a screech of joy which was truly thunderous and reverberating. niśamya nadato nādam vānarās te samantatah, babhūvur utsukāh sarve suhrddarśanakānksinah/ jāmbavān sa hariśresthah prītisamhrstamānasah, upāmantrva harīn sarvān idam vacanam abravīt/ sarvathā krtakārvo 'sau hanūmān nātra samsayaḥ, na hy asyākṛtakāryasya nāda evamvidho bhavet/ On hearing the joyous 'simhanaada' typical of Veera Hanuman, down below, the huge gathering of the Vanara Maha Sena had readily recognised the ever waiting return of Hanuman and shrieked high. Vaanara Bhalluka Maha Sheshtha Jambayan was truly happy and blissful with the successful return of Veera Hanuman. He called the Vanara Sena to encircle him and stated: 'Maha Vanaras! There is nodoubt that the Vayu Putra is returning with ourstanding success, otherwise, he would not have announced thunderously of his return with such joy! tasyā bāhūruvegam ca ninādam ca mahātmanah, niśamya harayo hṛṣṭāḥ samutpetus tatas tataḥ/ te nagāgrān nagāgrāṇi śikharāc chikharāṇi ca, praḥṛṣṭāḥ samapadyanta hanūmantam didṛkṣavaḥ/ As Jambayan reacted and intrepreted, there again were excited slogans of Hero Welcome! Anxious to see Hanuman's glorious return several Vanaras readily jumped up from one to tree top to another all around with thrilling excitement and expectation. Some other Vanara Veeras who could not suppress their emotions climbed up the mountain peaks for their anticipatory glimpses of the victorious landing. tasthau tatrāngadah śrīmān vānarair bahubhir vṛtah, upāsyamāno vibudhair divi devapatir yathā/ hanūmatā kīrtimatā yaśasvinā; tathāṅgadenāṅgada -baddhabāhunā, mudā tadādhyāsitam unnataṁ mahan; mahīdharāgram įvalitam śriyābhavat/ The rest of the vaanaras on visioning Hanuman got encircled as a large group anticipating the hero to land on the shores of the Maha Sagara. Keertiman, Veera Hanuman then spotted Yuva Raja Angada seated with fulfillment and suppressed thrill of Hanuman's celebrated return!

Sarga Fifty Eighty

On his victorius return from Ravana's Lankapuri, Hanuman briefly detailed the happenings, especially Devi Sita darshana, killing spree of Rakshasas, challenge to Ravana, burning his tail and Lanka dhvamsa.

Tatas tasya gireḥ śṛṅge mahendrasya mahābalāḥ,hanumatpramukhāḥ prītim harayo jagmur uttamām/ tam tatah pratisamhrstah prītimantam mahākapim, jāmbavān kārvavrttāntam aprechad anilātmajam/ katham dṛṣṭā tvayā devī katham vā tatra vartate, tasyām vā sa katham vṛttaḥ krūrakarmā daśānanaḥ/ tattvatah sarvam etan nah prabrūhi tvam mahākape, śrutārthāś cintayisyāmo bhūyah kāryavini ścayam/ yaś cārthas tatra vaktavyo gatair asmābhir ātmavān, raksitavyam ca yat tatra tad bhavān vyākarotu naļ/ sa niyuktas tatas tena samprahrstatanūruhah, namasyañ śirasā devyai sītāyai pratyabhāsata/ pratyaksam eva bhavatām mahendrāgrāt kham āplutah, udadher daksinam pāram kānksamānah samāhitah/ gacchataś ca hi me ghoram vighnarūpam ivābhavat, kāñcanam śikharam divyam paśyāmi sumanoharam, sthitam panthānam āvṛtya mene vighnam ca tam nagam/ upasamgamya tam divyam kāñcanam nagasattamam,kṛtā me manasā buddhir bhettavyo 'yam mayeti ca/ prahatam ca mayā tasya lāṅgūlena mahāgireḥ, śikharam sūryasamkāśam vyaśīryata sahasradhā/ vyavasāyam ca me buddhvā sa hovāca mahāgirih, putreti madhurām bānīm manahprahlādayann iva/pitrvyam cāpi mām viddhi sakhāyam mātariśvanah, mainākam iti vikhyātam nivasantam mahodadhau/ pakṣvavantaḥ purā putra babhūvuḥ parvatottamāḥ, chandataḥ pṛthivīm cerur bādhamānāḥ samantataḥ/ śrutvā nagānām caritam mahendraḥ pākaśāsanah, ciccheda bhagavān paksān vajrenaisām sahasraśah/ aham tu moksitas tasmāt tava pitrā mahātmanā, mārutena tadā vatsa praksipto 'smi mahārnave/ rāmasya ca mayā sāhye vartitavyam arimdama, rāmo dharmabhṛtām śrestho mahendrasamavikramah/ etac chrutvā mayā tasya mainākasya mahātmanaḥ, kāryam āvedya tu girer uddhatam ca mano mama/ tena cāham anujñāto mainākena mahātmanā, uttamam javam āsthāya śeṣam adhvānam āsthitah/ tato 'ham suciram kālam vegenābhya gamam pathi, tatah paśyāmy aham devīm surasām nāgamātaram/ samudramadhye sā devī vacanam mām abhāṣata, mama bhakṣyaḥ pradiṣṭas tvam amārair harisattamam, tatas tvām bhaksavisvāmi vihitas tvam cirasya me/ evam uktah surasayā prāñjalih pranatah sthitah, vivarnavadano bhūtvā vākyam cedam udīrayam/ rāmo dāśarathih śrīmān pravisto dandakāvanam, laksmanena saha bhrātrā sītayā ca paramtapaḥ/ tasya sītā hṛtā bhāryā rāvaṇena durātmanā, tasyāḥ sakāśam dūto 'ham gamiṣye rāmaṣʿāṣanāt/ kartum arhaṣi rāmaṣya ṣāhyam viṣayayāṣini, atha vā maithilīm drṣtyā rāmam cāklistakārinam, āgamisvāmi te vaktram satvam pratisrnoti me/ evam uktā mavā sā tu surasā kāmarūpinī, abravīn nātivarteta kaś cid eṣa varo mama/ evam uktaḥ surasayā daśayojanam āyataḥ, tato 'rdhagunavistāro babhūvāham ksanena tu/ matpramānānurūpam ca vyāditam tanmukham tayā, tad drstvā vyāditam tv āsyam hrasvam hv akaravam vapuh/ tasmin muhūrte ca punar babhūvāngustha sammitah, abhipatyāśu tad vaktram nirgato 'ham tatah ksanāt/ abravīt surasā devī svena rūpena mām punah, arthasiddhyai hariśrestha gaccha saumya yathāsukham/ samānaya ca vaidehīm rāghavena mahātmanā, sukhī bhava mahābāho prītāsmi tava vānara/ tato 'ham sādhu sādhvīti sarvabhūtaih praśamsitah, tato 'ntarikṣam vipulam pluto 'ham garudo yathā/ chāyā me nigrhītā ca na ca paśyāmi kim cana, so 'ham vigatavegas tu diśo daśa vilokayan, na kim cit tatra paśyāmi yena me 'pahṛtā gatih' tato me buddhir utpannā kim nāma gamane mama, īdršo vighna utpanno rūpam vatra na dršvate/ adho bhāgena me drstih śocatā pātitā mavā, tato 'drāksam aham bhīmām rāksasīm salile śavām/ prahasya ca mahānādam ukto 'ham bhīmayā tayā, avasthitam asambhrāntam idam vākyam aśobhanam/ kvāsi gantā mahākāya ksudhitāyā mamepsitah, bhaksah prīnaya me deham ciram āhāravarjitam/ bādham ity eva tām vāṇīm pratyagṛhṇām aham tataḥ, āsya pramāṇād adhikam tasyāḥ kāyam apūrayam/ tasyāś cāsyam mahad bhīmam vardhate mama bhaksane, na ca mām sā tu bubudhe mama vā vikṛtam kṛtam/ tato 'ham vipulam rūpam samksipya nimisāntarāt, tasyā hrdayam ādāya prapatāmi nabhastalam sā visrstabhujā bhīmā papāta lavaṇāmbhasi, mayā parvatasamkāśā nikṛttahṛdayā satī/ sṛṇomi khagatānām ca siddhānām cāraṇaiḥ saha, rākṣasī simhikā bhīmā kṣipram hanumatā hṛtā/ tām hatvā punar evāham kṛtyam ātyayikam smaran, gatvā ca mahad adhvānam paśyāmi nagamaṇḍitam, dakṣiṇam tīram udadher lankā yatra ca sā purī/ astam dinakare yāte raksasām nilayam purīm, pravisto 'ham avijnāto raksobhir bhīmavikramaih/ tatrāham sarvarātram tu vicinvañ janakātmajām, rāvanāntahpuragato na cāpaśyam sumadhyamām/ tataḥ sītām apaśyaṁs tu rāvaṇasya niveśane, śokasāgaram āsādya na pāram upalakṣaye/ śocatā ca mayā drstam prākāreņa samāvrtam, kāñcanena vikrstena grhopavanam uttamam/ sa prākāram

avaplutya paśyāmi bahupādapam, aśokavanikāmadhye śimśapāpādapo mahān, tam āruhya ca paśyāmi kāñcanam kadalī vanam/ adūrāc chimśapāvrksāt paśyāmi vanavarninīm, śyāmām kamalapatrāksīm upavāsakṛśānanām/ rākṣasībhir virūpābhih krūrābhir abhisamvṛtām, māmsaśoṇitabhakṣyābhir vyāghrībhir harinīm yathā/ tām dṛṣṭvā tādṛśīm nārīm rāmapatnīm aninditām, tatraiva śimśapāvṛkṣe paśyann aham ayasthitah/ tato halahalāśabdam kāñcīnūpuramiśritam, śrnomy adhikagambhīram rāvaṇasya niveśane/ tato 'ham paramodvignah svarūpam pratyasamharam, aham ca śimśapāvṛkṣe pakṣīva gahane sthitah/ tato rāvaṇadārāś ca rāvaṇaś ca mahābalah, tam deśam samanuprāptā yatra sītābhavat sthitā/ tam dṛṣṭvātha varārohā sītā rakṣogaṇeśvaram, samkucyorū stanau pīnau bāhubhyām parirabhya ca/ tām uvāca daśagrīvah sītām paramaduhkhitām, avākśirāh prapatito bahu manyasva mām iti/yadi cet tvam tu mām darpān nābhinandasi garvite, dvimāsānantaram sīte pāsyāmi rudhiram tava/ etac chrutvā vacas tasya rāvanasya durātmanah, uvāca paramakruddhā sītā vacanam uttamam/ Raaksasādhama rāmasya bhāryām amitatejasah,iksvākukulanāthasya snusām daśarathasya ca, avācyam vadato jihvā katham na patitā tava/ kimsvid vīryam tavānārya yo mām bhartur asamnidhau, apahṛtyā gatah pāpa tenādrsto mahātmanā/ na tvam rāmasva sadršo dāsve 'pv asvā na vujvase, vajñīvah satvavāk caiva ranaślāghī ca rāghavah/ jānakvā parusam vākvam evam ukto daśānanah, jajvāla sahasā kopāc citāstha iva pāvakaḥ/ vivṛtya nayane krūre muṣṭim udyamya dakṣiṇam, maithilīm hantum ārabdhaḥ strībhir hāhākṛtam tadā/ strīṇām madhyāt samutpatya tasya bhāryā durātmanaḥ, varā mandodarī nāma tayā sa pratisedhitah/ uktaś ca madhurām vānīm tayā sa madanārditah, sītayā taya kim kāryam mahendrasamavikrama, mayā saha ramasvādya madviśistā na jānakī/ devagandharvakanyābhir yakşakanyābhir eva ca, sārdham prabho ramasveha sītayā kim karişyasi/ tatas tābhih sametābhir nārībhih sa mahābalah, utthāpya sahasā nīto bhavanam svam niśācarah/ vāte tasmin daśagrīve rāksasyo vikṛtānanāḥ, sītām nirbhartsayām āsur vākyaiḥ krūraiḥ sudāruṇaiḥ/ tṛṇavad bhāṣitam tāsām gaṇayām āsa jānakī, tarjitam ca tadā tāsām sītām prāpya nirarthakam/ vrthāgarjitaniścestā rāksasyah piśitāśanāh, rāvanāya śaśamsus tāh sītāvyavasitam mahat/ tatas tāh sahitāh sarvā vihatāśā nirudyamāh, pariksipya samantāt tām nidrāvaśam upāgatāh/ tāsu caiva prasuptāsu sītā bhartrhite ratā, vilapya karunam dīnā praśuśoca suduhkhitā/ tāṁ cāhaṁ tādṛśīṁ dṛstvā sītāyā dārunāṁ daśām, cintayām āsa viśrānto na ca me nirvṛtam manaḥ/ sambhāṣaṇārthe ca mayā jānakyāś cintito vidhiḥ, ikṣvākukulavamśas tu tato mama puraskṛtah/ śrutvā tu gaditām vācam rājarṣigaṇapūjitām, pratyabhāṣata mām devī bāṣpaih pihitalocanā/ kas tvam kena katham ceha prāpto vānarapumgava, kā ca rāmeņa te prītis tan me śamsitum arhasi/ tasyās tadvacanam śrutvā aham apy abruvam vacaḥ, devi rāmasya bhartus te sahāyo bhīmavikramaḥ, sugrīvo nāma vikrānto vānarendo mahābalah/ tasya mām viddhi bhrtyam tvam hanūmantam ihāgatam, bhartrāham prahitas tubhyam rāmenākliṣṭakarmaṇā/idam ca puruṣavyāghraḥ śrīmān dāśarathiḥ svayam, angulīyam abhijnānam adāt tubhyam yaśasvini/tad icchāmi tvayājnaptam devi kim karavāny aham, rāmalaksmanayoh pārśvam nayāmi tvām kim uttaram/ etac chrutvā viditvā ca sītā janakanandinī, āha rāvaṇam utsādya rāghavo mām nayatv iti/ praṇamya śirasā devīm aham āryām aninditām, rāghavasya manohlādam abhijñānam ayāciṣam/ evam uktā varārohā maṇipravaram uttamam, prāyacchat paramodvignā vācā mām samdideśa ha/ tatas tasyai praņamyāham rājaputryai samāhitah, pradakṣiṇam parikrāmam ihābhvudgatamānasah/ uttaram punar evāha niścitva manasā tadā, hanūman mama vrttāntam vaktum arhasi rāghave/ vathā śrutvaiva nacirāt tāv ubhau rāmalaksmanau, sugrīvasahitau vīrāv upeyātām tathā kuru/ yady anyathā bhaved etad dvau māsau jīvitam mama, na mām drakṣyati kākutstho mriye sāham anāthavat/ tac chrutvā karunam vākyam krodho mām abhyavartata, uttaram ca mayā dṛṣtam kāryaśesam anantaram/ tato 'vardhata me kāyas tadā parvatasamnibhah, yuddhakānksī vanam tac ca vināśayitum ārabhe/ tad bhagnam vanasandam tu bhrāntatrastamṛgadvijam, pratibuddhā nirīkṣante rākṣasyo vikṛtānanāḥ/ mām ca dṛṣṭvā vane tasmin samāgamya tatas tataḥ, tāḥ samabhyāgatāḥ kşipram rāvanāyācacakşire/ rājan vanam idam durgam tava bhagnam durātmanā, vānareṇa hy avijñāya tava vīryam mahābala/ durbuddhes tasya rājendra tava vipriyakāriņah, vadham ājñāpaya ksipram yathāsau vilayam vrajet/tac chrutvā rākṣasendreṇa visrṣṭā bhrsadurjayāḥ, rākṣasāḥ kimkarā nāma rāvanasya mano'nugāh/ tesām aśītisāhasram śūlamudgarapāninām, mayā tasmin vanoddeśe parighena nisūditam/ tesām tu hataśesā ye te gatā laghuvikramāh, nihatam ca mayā sainyam rāvanāyācacaksire/ tato me buddhir utpannā caityaprāsādam ākramam, tatrasthān rākṣasān hatvā śatam stambhena vai punah, lalāma bhūto lankāyā mayā vidhyamsito rusā/ tatah prahastasya sutam jambumālinam ādiśat,

tam aham balasampannam rāksasam ranakovidam, parighenātighorena sūdayāmi sahānugam/ tac chrutvā rākṣasendras tu mantriputrān mahābalān, padātibalasampannān preṣayām āsa rāvaṇaḥ, parigheṇaiva tān sarvān nayāmi yamasādanam/ mantriputrān hatāñ śrutvā samare laghuvikramān,pañcasenāgragāñ śūrān preṣayām āsa rāvaṇah, tān ahaṁ saha sainyān vai sarvān evābhyasūdayam/ tatah punar daśagrīvah putram aksam mahābalam, bahubhī rākasaih sārdham preşayām āsa samyuge/ tam tu mandodarī putram kumāram ranapanditam, sahasā kham samutkrāntam pādayoś ca gṛhītavān, carmāsinam śataguṇam bhrāmayitvā vyapeṣayam/ tam akṣam āgatam bhagnam niśamya sa daśānanah, tata indrajitam nāma dvitīvam rāvanah sutam, vyādideśa susamkruddho balinam yuddhadurmadam/ tasyāpy aham balam sarvam tam ca rāksasapumgavam, nastaujasam rane krtvā param harşam upāgamam/ mahatā hi mahābāhuḥ pratyayena mahābalaḥ, preşito rāvaņenaişa saha vīrair madotkataih/ brāhmenāstrena sa tu mām prabadhnāc cātivegatah, rajjūbhir abhibadhnanti tato mām tatra rāksasāh/ rāvanasya samīpam ca grhītvā mām upānayan, drstvā sambhāsitas cāham rāvanena durātmanā/ pṛṣṭaś ca laṅkāgamanaṁ rākṣasānāṁ ca tad vadham, tat sarvaṁ ca mayā tatra sītārtham iti jalpitam/ asyāham darśanākānkṣī prāptas tvadbhavanam vibho, mārutasyaurasaḥ putro vānaro hanumān aham/ rāmadūtam ca mām viddhi sugrīvasacivam kapim, so 'ham dautyena rāmasva tvatsamīpam ihāgataļ/ śrnu cāpi samādeśam yad aham prabravīmi te, rākṣaseśa harīśas tvām vākyam āha samāhitam, dharmārthakāma -sahitam hitam pathyam ivāśanam/ vasato rsyamūke me parvate vipuladrume, rāghavo ranavikrānto mitratvam samupāgatah/ tena me kathitam rājan bhāryā me raksasā hrtā, tatra sāhāyyahetor me samayam kartum arhasi/vālinā hṛtarājyena sugrīvena saha prabhuh, cakre 'gnisākṣikam sakyam rāghavah sahalakṣmaṇah/ tena vālinam utsādya śareṇaikena samyuge, vānarāṇām mahārājaḥ kṛtaḥ saṃplavatām prabhuḥ/ tasya sāhāyyam asmābhiḥ kāryam sarvātmanā tv iha, tena prasthāpitas tubhyam samīpam iha dharmataḥ/kṣipram ānīyatām sītā dīyatām rāghavasya ca, yāvan na harayo vīrā vidhamanti balam tava/ vānarāṇām prabhavo hi na kena viditaḥ purā, devatānām sakāśam ca ye gacchanti nimantritāh/ iti vānararājas tvām āhety abhihito mayā, mām aiksata tato rustas caksusā pradahann iya, tena yadhyo 'ham ājñapto raksasā raudrakarmanā/ tato yibhīsano nāma tasya bhrātā mahāmatih, tena rāksasarājo 'sau vācito mama kāranāt/ dūtavadhyā na dṛstā hi rājaśāstresu rāksasa, dūtena veditavyam ca yathārtham hitavādinā/ sumahaty aparādhe 'pi dūtasyātulavikramaḥ, virūpakaranam drstam na vadho 'stīha śāstratahvibhīsanenaivam ukto rāvanah samdideśa tān, rāksasān etad evādva lāngūlam dahvatām iti/ tatas tasva vacah śrutvā mama puccham samantatah, vestitam śaṇavalkaiś ca paṭaiḥ kārpāsakais tathā/ rākṣasāḥ siddhasamnāhās tatas te caṇḍavikramāḥ, tad ādīpyanta me puccham hanantah kāsthamustibhih/ baddhasya bahubhih pāśair yantritasya ca rāksasaih, na me pīdā bhavet kā cid didrksor nagarīm divā/ tatas te rāksasāh śūrā baddham mām agnisamvrtam, aghosayan rājamārge nagaradvāram āgatāh/ tato 'ham sumahad rūpam samksipya punar ātmanah, vimocayitvā tam bandham prakrtisthah sthitah punah/āyasam parigham grhya tāni raksāmsy asūdayam, tatas tan nagaradvāram vegenāplutavān aham/ pucchena ca pradīptena tām purīm sāṭṭagopurām, dahāmy aham asambhrānto yugāntāgnir iva prajāh/ dagdhvā lankām punaś caiva śankā mām abhyavartata, dahatā ca mayā lankām daghdā sītā na samsayaḥ/ athāham vācam asrauṣam cāraṇānām śubhāksarām, jānakī na ca dagdheti vismayodantabhāsinām/ tato me buddhir utpannā śrutyā tām adbhutām giram, punar dṛṣṭā ca vaidehī visṛṣṭaś ca tayā punah/ rāghavasya prabhāvena bhavatām caiva tejasā, sugrīvasya ca kāryārtham mayā sarvam anuṣṭhitam/ etat sarvam mayā tatra yathāvad upapāditam, atra yan na kṛtaṁ śesaṁ tat sarvaṁ kriyatām iti/

As Jambavan asked truly excited as Mahabala Veera Hanuman returned safe and sound and asked him the key questions as to how he was able to find Devi Sita, how was she there, how the cruel Ravanaasura was behaving with her, please to convey to us in detail. He further queried: how were you able to locate Devi Sita and who had advised you like wise. After knowing all these details, then only we could chalk our further action plan. Further, as we would proceed and return back to Kishkindha, then please also give us the guidelines as to how we should highlight the facts as per your advice. As the mind sharp Jambavan asled all the most relevant questions, Veera Hanuman was truly impressed in high admiration of Jamvaban's intellectual acumen, expertise and experience of the Maha Bhalluka Raja. He then nodded his head and with composure and with least proud of his accomlipshment, Veera Hanunan initiated his

detailed presentation of facts as per the searching questionnaire of Jambavan as follows, well remembering Devi Sita: pratyaksam eva bhavatām mahendrāgrāt kham āplutah, udadher daksinam pāram kānkṣamāṇaḥ samāhitaḥ/ gacchataś ca hi me ghoram vighnarūpam ivābhavat, kāñcanam śikharam divyam paśyāmi sumanoharam, sthitam panthānam āvrtya mene vighnam ca tam nagam/ As you may please recall that in your collective presence, I mounted the Mahendra Parvata shikhara and leaped down ito the Maha Saagara facing southern direction. As I was air born I saw a golden shikhara as if it were holding my travel and I felt as though that did not seem to be good omen. Upasagamya tam divyam kāñcanam nagasattamam,krtā me manasā buddhir bhettavvo 'vam mayeti ca/ prahatam ca mayā tasya lāngūlena mahāgireḥ, śikharam sūryasamkāśam vyaśīryata sahasradhā/ vyavasāyam ca me buddhvā sa hovāca mahāgirih, putreti madhurām bānīm manahprahlādayann iva/My immediate reaction was to destroy the shikhara and proceed further. I raised my tail and gave a strong blow and soon enough the shikhara crashed into pieces. Then I heard a resounding voice: pitrvyam cāpi mām viddhi sakhāyam mātariśvanah, mainākam iti vikhyātam nivasantam mahodadhau/ pakṣvavantaḥ purā putra babhūvuḥ parvatottamāh, chandatah prthivīm cerur bādhamānāh samantatah/ śrutvā nagānām caritam mahendrah pākaśāsanah, ciccheda bhagayān paksān vajrenaisām sahasraśah,aham tu moksitas tasmāt tava pitrā mahātmanā, mārutena tadā vatsa prakṣipto 'smi mahārṇave/As I was addressed as Putra, I realised as I have heard soft voice of the Parvata; the voice further said:Do consider me as your uncle as I am a great friend of Vayu Deva. My name is Mainaka and I stay put in this Maha Sagara. In the hoary past, all the major mountains used to fly as they wished, but as the public appealed to Indra Deva that there had been frequent quakes on earth and the pattern of the movement of some of the huge mountains was disastrous. Then in response, Indra severed off the wings of thousand mountains on earth. My son Hanuman, then Indra instructed me stay in this Maha Sagara. But my close friend Vaya Deva helped me to ratain my wings though I never use any way. rāmasya ca mayā sāhye vartitavyam arimdama, rāmo dharmabhrtām śrestho mahendrasamavikramah/ etac chrutvā mayā tasya mainākasya mahātmanah, kāryam āvedya tu girer uddhatam ca mano mama/tena cāham anujñāto mainākena mahātmanā, uttamam javam āsthāva śesam adhvānam āsthitah/Dear son, Vayuputra! As you are dedicated to Shri Rama Karya, you do deserve all my sincere blessings and best wishes. Then the maha parvata Mainaka discarded manava swarupa subseqiently. Veera Hanuman resumed his vatra once again. tato 'ham suciram kālam vegenābhya -gamam pathi, tatah paśyāmy aham devīm surasām nāgamātaram/ samudramadhye sā devī vacanam mām abhāṣata, mama bhakṣyaḥ pradiṣṭas tvam amārair harisattamam, tatas tvām bhaksayisyāmi vihitas tvam cirasya me/ My next encounter was Naaga Mata Surasa Devi and pleasingly: Kapi shreshtha! Devas instructed me that you are my bhashya and accordingly I am therefore devouring you. as should be treated! evam uktaḥ surasayā prāñjaliḥ praṇataḥ sthitaḥ, vivarṇavadano bhūtvā vākyam cedam udīrayam/ rāmo dāśarathih śrīmān pravisto dandakāvanam, laksmanena saha bhrātrā sītayā ca paramtapah/ tasya sītā hṛtā bhāryā rāvaṇena durātmanā, tasyāḥ sakāśam dūto 'ham gamiṣye rāmaśāsanāt/ As Devi Surasa stated thus, Hanuman politely replied with foldedhands: Devi! I am the messenger of Dasharatha Nandana Shri Rama accompanied by his wife Devi Sita and his brother Lakshmana to Dandakaranya; there Durarma Rayanaasura forcibly kidnapped Devi Sita. Now I am being sent as Shri Rama's messenger to Lanka seeking to find her there anywhere. You too reside in the Dasharatha Rajya and thus help me discover the Mithilasha Rajya Raja Kumari Devi Sita. Kartum arhasi rāmasya sāhyam visayavāsini, atha vā maithilīm dṛstvā rāmam cāklistakārinam, āgamiṣyāmi te vaktram satyam pratiśṛṇoti me/ Having had her darshan, I would certainly return to you and get devoured by you for good. evam uktā mayā sā tu surasā kāmarūpinī, abravīn nātivarteta kaś cid eşa varo mama/ evam uktah surasayā daśayojanam āyatah, tato 'rdhagunavistāro babhūvāham kṣanena tu/ matpramāṇānurūpam ca vyāditam tanmukham tayā, tad dṛṣṭvā vyāditam tv āsyam hrasvam hy akaravam vapuh/ tasmin muhūrte ca punar babhūvāngustha -sammitah, abhipatyāśu tad vaktram nirgato 'ham tataḥ kṣaṇāt/Then Naaga Maata Surasa who had the ability of changing her swarupa as she pleased, asserted: 'I had in the past attained the boon that any being in the creation once confronted by me ought to be devoured by me and none indeed could be an exception to this boon. Having asserted thus, she assumed a doubled up form to be able to swallow Hanuman's form which was as it was already of ten vojanas! Then in a moment, Hanuman had drastically his own body size as of a a normal finger size as he could be devoured easily and at once got eased out comfortably. abravīt surasā devī svena rūpena mām punah, arthasiddhyai hariśrestha gaccha saumya yathāsukham/ samānaya ca vaidehīm rāghavena mahātmanā, sukhī bhava mahābāho prītāsmi tava vānara/ Then Surasa Devi the Naaga Mata reappeared in her celestial form and said: Kapi shreshtha! Now you can comfortably travel ahead for your 'kaarya siddhi' and my blessings to you to meet Videhanandini Devi Sita and assist Mahatma Shri Raghunatha. 'Sukhibhava'! Maha bahu Vaanara shiromani, I am truly impressed with your valour coupled with 'samaya sphurti' of ever alert timeliness. chāyā me nigṛhītā ca na ca paśyāmi kim cana, so 'ham vigatavegas tu diśo daśa vilokayan, na kim cit tatra paśyāmi vena me 'pahrtā gatih' tato me buddhir utpannā kim nāma gamane mama, īdršo vighna utpanno rūpam yatra na dršyate/ adho bhāgena me drstih śocatā pātitā mayā, tato 'drāksam aham bhīmām rāksasīm salile śayām/ Then as Veera Hanuman flew ahead like Garuda Deva as none indeed notice him on the high skies. Then he had reviewed that so far no ordeals were faced by him so far fortunately due to Shri Rama Kripa. Even as he was self satisfied, he sighted down below in the deep waves of the Maha Saagara a frightening Maha Rakshasi. prahasya ca mahānādam ukto 'ham bhīmayā tayā, avasthitam asambhrāntam idam vākyam aśobhanam/kvāsi gantā mahākāya ksudhitāyā mamepsitah, bhaksah prīnaya me deham ciram āhārayarjitam/ bādham ity eva tām vāṇīm pratyagṛhṇām aham tataḥ, āsya pramāṇād adhikam tasyāḥ kāyam apūrayam/That 'bheeshana nishaacharani' was yelling boisteriously as an inauspicious tone like a megha garjana: 'Vishalakaaya Vaanara! Where do you intend to land, so saying she had instantly assumed a gigantic body form. I am truly hungry and should be delighted to devour you. For long time now, being tormented with nice food, I feel thrilled with such a chance. tasyāś cāsyam mahad bhīmam vardhate mama bhakṣaṇe, na ca mām sā tu bubudhe mama vā vikṛtaṁ kṛtam/ tato 'haṁ vipulaṁ rūpaṁ saṁkṣipya nimiṣāntarāt, tasyā hṛdayam ādāya prapatāmi nabhastalam/ sā visrstabhujā bhīmā papāta lavaņāmbhasi, mayā parvatasamkāśā nikrttahrdayā satī/ As the Maha Rakshasi advanced Anjana Putra thus with her wide open mouth, she was indeed unwa re of his timely opportunism and havin assumed the miniature physical form and flew up the skies and fisted so mightily that her two shoulders were slaughtered as they were crashed down swimming in the ever rising tides of the Maha Saagara. śrnomi khagatānām ca siddhānām cāranaih saha, rākṣasī simhikā bhīmā kṣipram hanumatā hṛtā/ tām hatvā punar evāham kṛtyam ātyayikam smaran, gatvā ca mahad adhvānam paśvāmi nagamanditam, daksinam tīram udadher lankā vatra ca sā purī/ astam dinakare vāte raksasām nilavam purīm, pravisto 'ham avijnāto raksobhir bhīmavikramaih/ Then as the Siddha Mahatmaa's celestial voice was heard: 'aho! This Simhika naamaka Maharakshasi was felled down dead disapearing in the Maha Samudra by Hanuman's courtesy! Thus having waited for a while till 'Suryaastama pradosha kaala', assuring himself that his entry to 'Lanka Maha Dwaara'would be unnoticed, Anjaneya made if successful entry. tatrāham sarvarātram tu vicinvañ janakātmajām, rāvanāntahpuragato na cāpaśyam sumadhyamām/ tatah sītām apaśyams tu rāvanasya niveśane, śokasāgaram āsādya na pāram upalakṣaye/ śocatā ca mayā dṛṣṭam prākāreṇa samāvṛtam, kāñcanena vikṛṣṭena gṛhopavanam uttamam/ Hanuman continued his narration further: 'Having thus entered the Lankapuri, I commenced my 'Devi Sitaanveshna' all over the city and reached Ravana Mahal, imagining that by now, she should be drowned in deep distress. Then I enterd the 'grihodyaana' which was goden doored with a few successive entries therein. The central plarform of the Ashoka Vaatika, I witnessed a huge Ashoka Vriksha mounting which I noted a 'Kadali Vana' with ripe and tempting plaitain fruits galore. It was under the Ashoka Vriksha I sighed a Sarvaanga Sundari - most probably Devi Sita herself! She was seated with her head down crying away. She was appearing like an ever sixteen years of age with the beauty of a damsel with extrardinary charm of grace with sparkling eyes comparable to fresh lotuses being dressed with ruffled and unclean 'eka vastra' surrounded by grotesque- 'rakta maamsa bhakshi Rakshasis, who were ever threatening her to beat. As Ravana accompanied with his various wives, some of being of celestial background of gandharva- kinnara-nagalokas approached Devi Sita once I was a witness to that scene. tam dṛṣṭvātha varārohā sītā rakṣogaṇeśvaram, samkucyorū stanau pīnau bāhubhyām parirabhya ca/tām uvāca daśagrīvah sītām paramaduhkhitām, avākśirāh prapatito bahu manyasva mām iti/yadi cet tvam tu mām darpān nābhinandasi garvite, dvimāsānantaram sīte pāsyāmi rudhiram tava/ etac chrutvā vacas tasya rāvaṇasya durātmanaḥ, uvāca paramakruddhā sītā vacanam uttamam/ As he reached her, Sarvaanga Sundari Devi Sita sat tight and bent down ensuring that none of

her physical parts would be visible. As the Dashagriva addressed her she was lookiing frightened with her looks betrayed her feelings of dislike, fear, and extreme distress. He stated with feigned courtesy, affected kindness and affection He said: Self conscious and arrogant woman! Even being aware of my status and stature, you lack the courtesy of standing up and greeting me even; I might give you a leniency for two months more before your body would be sent to the royal kitchen for slicing to be cooked! As Rayana treatened her, the agitated yet immensely infuriated harsh pitch, replied: Raakṣasādhama rāmasya bhāryām amitatejasaḥ,ikṣvākukulanāthasya snuṣām daśarathasya ca, avācyam vadato jihvā katham na patitā tava/ kiṃsvid vīrvam tavānārva vo mām bhartur asamnidhau, apahrtvā -gatah pāpa tenādrsto mahātmanā/ na tvam rāmasya sadršo dāsye 'py asyā na yujyase, yajñīyah satyavāk caiva ranaślāghī ca rāghavah/Neecha Nishaachara! Do realise that I am the devout ardhaangi of the Amita Tejasvi Bhagavan Shri Rama and the proud daughter of Ikshvaaku Vamsha's Maha Raja Dashradha. Are not well maannred enough to converse with a pativrata of my supreme status! Dushta paapi! What is your bravery in surreptitiously kidnapping me in the absence of my proud and invincible husband. You could never reach the stature, fame and courage in your lifetime.' jānakyā paruṣam vākyam evam ukto daśānanaḥ, jajvāla sahasā kopāc citāstha iva pāvakah/ vivrtya navane krūre mustim udvamya daksinam, maithilīm hantum ārabdhaḥ strībhir hāhākṛtam tadā/ strīṇām madhyāt samutpatya tasya bhāryā durātmanaḥ, varā mandodarī nāma tayā sa pratiṣedhitaḥ/ uktaś ca madhurām vāṇīm tayā sa madanārditaḥ, sītayā tava kim kāryam mahendrasamavikrama, mayā saha ramasvādya madviśistā na jānakī/ As Janaka nandini stated such hard hitting assertions, Dasha mukha Ravana was truly infuriated as his looks were rains of flames and was readied to murder her mercilessly. As Ravana's Prime Queen who too was present along with her co - queens was not able to digest Dvi Sitas's showers of insinuations insults and challenges, jumped forward to Devi Sita to assault Sita but Ravana held Mandodari back. As all this was occuring, the co queens were stunned at Sita's audacity and shouted as well as what Mandodari too even as the Rakshasis around joined the protests very loudly. At the same time the Rakshasis addressed Ravana: Maha Raja! you are of the stature superior to Indra! Sita is not a 'prapancha sundari' any way; to night you may like to come to my bed; also there are deva-gandharva-yakshakanyas ready to jump in your bed. There after Ravana haning been humiliated by the desperate Sita walked back to his bhavan along with his queens. As the surrounding Rakshasis had thereafter threatened of physical violence and kept on shouting at Sita for long time into the night. Later, she fell asleep tired, exhausted, and frustrated. Now, Hanuman noticed that a vriddha rakshsi named Trijata got suddenly woken up from an externely ominous dream of the impending warnings to 'Lanka saamrajya'as Sita's husband Rama would arrive soon and shatter to pieces. She warned against mortally hurting Sita. sambhāṣaṇārthe ca mayā jānakyāś cintito vidhiḥ, iksvākukulavamsas tu tato mama puraskrtah/ srutvā tu gaditām vācam rājarsiganapūjitām, pratyabhāsata mām devī bāspaih pihitalocanā/ kas tvam kena katham ceha prāpto vānarapumgava, kā ca rāmeņa te prītis tan me śamsitum arhasi/ tasyās tadvacanam śrutvā aham apy abruvam vacah, devi rāmasya bhartus te sahāyo bhīmavikramah, sugrīvo nāma vikrānto vānarendo mahābalah/ Having recalled the aftrermath of the day behind of Ravana's warnings-her stern reply-the reactions of his queens and co rakshasis- and Trijata's swapna and her cautionary admonitions to co rakshasis, Hanuman was doubtless realised Devi Sita's mental status, he realised that it was high time to somehow he must break this vicious circle and initiate his presence to be conveyed to her. Then in the form of singing the praise and pride of Ikshvaaku Vamsaha and the fame of Rajarshis who followed; having heard the singing, Devi Sita's eye drops trickled down and soon there after as he appeared, she asked him: Kapi shreshtha! Who are you; who had sent you, what is your relationship wit Shri Rama. tasya mām viddhi bhṛtyam tvam hanūmantam ihāgatam, bhartrāham prahitas tubhyam rāmenāklistakarmanā/idam ca purusavyāghrah śrīmān dāśarathiḥ svayam, aṅgulīyam abhijñānam adāt tubhyaṁ yaśasvini/tad icchāmi tvayājñaptaṁ devi kim karavāny aham, rāmalakṣmaṇayoḥ pārśvam nayāmi tvām kim uttaram/ In reply Hanuman explained in detail that he was the messenger of Shri Rama's close associate named Sugriva and the related details, stessing that he was a sincere Rama bhakta. He also said that Shri Rama instructed me to hand over his finger ring as my identity. Devi! I request you to instruct me now as to what sevice could of expected from me. If agreable could I reach you to Rama Lakshmanas by my personal might to be able to to reach here all the way from Kishkindha by crossing the Maha Sagara, notwithstading several hurdles!

etac chrutvā viditvā ca sītā janakanandinī, āha rāvanam utsādya rāghavo mām nayatv iti/ pranamya śirasā devīm aham āryām aninditām, rāghavasya manohlādam abhijñānam ayācisam/ evam uktā varārohā maṇipravaram uttamam, prāyacchat paramodvignā vācā mām samdideśa ha/ tatas tasyai praṇamyāham rājaputryai samāhitah, pradakṣiṇam parikrāmam ihābhyudgatamānasah/ As Veera -Hanuman assured her, Devi Sita replied: Undoubtedly my life ambition would be to reach my dearmost Shri Rama, besides Lakshmana Sugrivas. But that dream should be subject to Ravana Samhara and the termination of Lanka Samarajya with Rakshasa vinaashana! Then Devi Sita asked me to personally hand over her invaluable 'choodaamani' as her memory of her steadfast love-trust-and her pativratya mahima of bringing him to personally declare his magnificene. Then as a trustworthy Rama bhakta, I had performed her 'padaabhivandana and parikrama'. uttaram punar evāha niścitya manasā tadā, hanūman mama vṛttāntam vaktum arhasi rāghave/ yathā śrutvaiva nacirāt tāv ubhau rāmalaksmanau, sugrīvasahitau vīrāv upeyātām tathā kuru/ yady anyathā bhaved etad dvau māsau jīvitam mama, na mām draksyati kākutstho mriye sāham anāthavat/ tac chrutvā karuṇam vākyam krodho mām abhyavartata, uttaram ca mayā drstam kāryaśeṣam anantaram/ Then as I had firmly resolved to follow Devi Sita's instructions, she re-emphasied again to me: 'Hanuman, you must convince Rama and the rest there in such a manner that they should appear here at once to save me. Other wise my fear is that I might die as 'anaatha' as my life limit had been declared emphatically!' On her parting statement kept ringing me repeatedly, then I had thought over the rest of my dutiful task reminder before departure and thus got worked up with anger coupled with anguish of the Maha Pativrata. Then my physique was instantly assumed a mountainous stature and commenced the devastation of Ravana's proud 'udyanavana' to start with. The frightened Rakshasaas reached Rayana who had instructed my death and despatched Kinkara Rakshasaas with thousands of strong sena who were sent by me to 'Yama puri'. Then I destroyed Chatya prassada along with several rakshasaas inside. In the series of Maha Rakshasaas smashed to death were Jambumali- sons of his Ministers- Ravana's own son Akshaya Kumara and his huge sena were all killed with my unique parigha and a moutainous body form. tamashamāgatam bhagnam niśamya sa daśānanah, tata indrajitam nāma dvitīyam rāvanah sutam, vyādideśa susamkruddho balinam vuddhadurmadam/ tasyāpy aham balam sarvam tam ca rākṣasapumgavam, naṣṭaujasam raṇe kr̥tvā param harṣam upāgamam/ mahatā hi mahābāhuh pratyayena mahābalah, presito rāvanenaisa saha vīrair madotkataih/ Shocked and truly crestfallen with my might and truly single Vayu Putra, finally insructed Indrajit as the best part his stronghold Asura Shakti dominating tri lokas was burnt off like camphor balls by just one and only one Vanara claiming Shri Rama bhakti as his Kayacha to utilise his brahmastra as the last resort. brāhmenāstrena sa tu mām prabadhnāc cātivegatah, rajjūbhir abhibadhnanti tato mām tatra rāksasāh/ rāvanasya samīpam ca grhītvā mām upānayan, drstvā sambhāsitas cāham rāvanena durātmanā/ prstas ca lankāgamanam rāksasānām ca tad vadham, tat sarvam ca mayā tatra sītārtham iti jalpitam/asyāham darśanākānkṣī prāptas tvadbhavanam vibho, mārutasyaurasah putro vānaro hanumān aham/ Then as -Maha Vayu putra confronted Indrajit as the latter having made intial attacks decided that it should be just not possible to control, let alone sudue this Vayu Putra, expect by his 'brahmaastra prayoga', the soonest. Then having seemingly controlled by me, since Bhagavan Brahma himself granted me of immunity from brahmaastra also, I pretended to let Indrajit and his rakshasas bind me with ropes and made me stand before Ravanasura as he through his ministers sought to investigate me and interrogated as to how and why I entered the Maha Lanka saamrajya and why he detroyed a series of Rakshasa Maha Yoddhaas. Then I had politely, yet firmy replied: rāmadūtam ca mām viddhi sugrīvasacivam kapim, so 'ham dautyena rāmasya tvatsamīpam ihāgatah/ sṛnu cāpi samādesam yad aham prabravīmi te, rāksasesa harīśas tvām vākyam āha samāhitam, dharmārthakāma -sahitam hitam pathyam ivāśanam/ vasato rsyamūke me parvate vipuladrume, rāghavo raņavikrānto mitratvam samupāgataļ/Respected Rakshasa Raja! I had reached here for the 'darshana' of Maha Pativrata Devi Sita the dearmost of Shri Rama the famed hero on earth. I am the messenger of King Sugriva. My name is Hanuman the Vayu Deva Putra on Rama Karya of Devi Sitanveshana, which had since been accomplished. Maha Raja! Ravanasura had forcibly kidnapped in the absence of the Maha Veeras Rama Lakshmanas who in the past devastated Khara Dushaadi Rakshassa of your family . Rama killed your erstwhile enemy King Vaali who gave you nightmares. Now the present Vanara King Sugriva took a vow to let Rama destroy you, your followers

and the Lanka Rajya in revenge. ksipram ānīyatām sītā dīyatām rāghavasya ca, yāvan na harayo vīrā vidhamanti balam tava/ vānarānām prabhavo hi na kena viditah purā, devatānām sakāśam ca ve gacchanti nimantritāh/ iti vānararājas tvām āhety abhihito mayā, mām aikṣata tato ruṣṭaś cakṣuṣā pradahann iva, tena vadhyo 'ham ājñapto rakṣasā raudrakarmaṇā/ The message which Rama Lakshmana Sugrivas had sent through me a mere messenger is to assert that even at this disastrous end of your pomp and show, you might release Devi Sita at once as your final warning! Maha Raja! who indeed would not understand the vanara strength and resilience! They are pliable and at the same time rigid too. I happen to that Vaanara who is truly anchored to deva karyas as of now.' As thus concluded Hanuman's warnings with his dauntless firmness, Ravana looked at him as though he would put me ashes with his enflamed looks. Knowing fully aware, he ordered him to kill at once.tato vibhīsano nāma tasya bhrātā mahāmatih, tena rāksasarājo 'sau yācito mama kāranāt/ dūtavadhyā na dṛstā hi rājaśāstresu rāksasa, dūtena veditavyam ca yathārtham hitavādinā/sumahaty aparādhe 'pi dūtasyātulavikramah, virūpakaranam drstam na vadho 'stīha śāstratahvibhīsanenaivam ukto rāvaņah samdideśa tān, rāksasān etad evādya lāngūlam dahyatām iti/ Then buddhhiman 'Ravana sahodara' Vibhishana intervened and prayfully requested not to kill the Vanara as a meesenger of an alien king to be killed was against 'raaja neeti.' tatas tasya vacaḥ śrutvā mama puccham samantataḥ, vestitam śaṇavalkaiś ca paṭaiḥ kārpāsakais tathā/ rākṣasāḥ siddhasamnāhās tatas te caṇḍavikramāḥ, tad ādīpyanta me puccham hanantaḥ kāsthamustibhih/ baddhasya bahubhih pāśair yantritasya ca rāksasaih, na me pīdā bhavet kā cid didrksor nagarīm divā/ As Ravana had nodoubt was pliable in response to Vibhishana's considered caution compromised to burn his tail. tatas te rākṣasāḥ śūrā baddham mām agnisamvṛtam, aghoṣayan rājamārge nagaradvāram āgatāh/ tato 'ham sumahad rūpam samksipya punar ātmanah, vimocayitvā tam bandham prakṛtiṣṭhaḥ sthitaḥ punaḥ/ āyasam parigham grhya tāni rakṣāmsy asūdayam, tatas tan nagaradvāram vegenāplutavān aham/ pucchena ca pradīptena tām purīm sāttagopurām, dahāmy aham asambhrānto yugāntāgnir iva prajāh/Thus as per the amended instruction of the King, Maha Rakshasaas removed my 'bandhanas' of thick ropes and covered up with plentiful clothing dipped in oil and burnt the tall which kept on lenghening as simutaneously clothed- dipped in oil and taken around the streets, roads, highways and all over Lankapuri. Hanuman having carefully noted the route of Lanka of the procession and with the blessings of Agni deva, a friend of Vayu deva- not to hurt the body of Hanuman refollowed the nooks and corners of the Lanka Rajya and burnt it all systematically. dahatā ca mayā lankām daghdā sītā na samśayaḥ, athāham vācam aśrauṣam cāraṇānām śubhākṣarām, jānakī na ca dagdheti vismayodanta bhāsinām/Then as the entire Lankapuri crashed down in flames. But there was a celestial voice assuring her safety; tato me buddhir utpannā śrutvā tām adbhutām giram, punar drstā ca vaidehī visrstaś ca tayā punah/rāghavasya prabhāvena bhavatām caiva tejasā, sugrīvasya ca kāryārtham mayā sarvam anusthitam/ etat sarvam mayā tatra yathāvad upapāditam, atra yan na kṛtam śesam tat sarvam kriyatām iti/The Voice said: As per very many shubha shakunas, Devi Janaki is safe, since Hanuman's tail was not burnt thanks to Agni Deva'. Having concluded his narration addressed to Jambavaan and his Vanara Pramukhas, stated that what all the happenings at Lanka were thus reported in brief truthfully may thus be noted and the program ahead of us all be framed accordingly.

Sarga Fifty Nine

<u>Veeranjaneya makes a fervent appeal Vaanaraveeras like Jambavaan-Angada-Neela- or Ashvini Kumara</u> Putras Mainda- Dvividaas to relieve Devi Sita from Ravana's cluches for her inhuman harassment.

Etad ākhyānam tat sarvam hanūmān mārutātmajaḥ, bhūyaḥ samupacakrāma vacanam vaktum uttaram/ saphalo rāghavodyogaḥ sugrīvasya ca sambhramaḥ, śīlam āsādya sītāyā mama ca plavanam mahat/ āryāyāḥ sadrśam śītāyāḥ plavagarṣabhāḥ, tapasā dhārayel lokān kruddhā vā nirdahed api/ sarvathātipravrddho 'sau rāvaṇo rākṣasādhipaḥ yasya tām spṛśato gātram tapasā na vināśitam/ na tad agniśikhā kuryāt samspṛṣṭā pāṇinā satī, janakasyātmajā kuryād utkrodhakaluṣīkṛtā/ aśokavanikāmadhye rāvaṇasya durātmanaḥ, adhastāc chimśapāvṛkṣe sādhvī karuṇam āsthitā/ rākṣasībhiḥ parivṛtā śokasamtāpakarśitā, meghalekhāparivṛtā candralekheva niṣprabhā/ acintayantī vaidehī rāvaṇam

baladarpitam, pativratā ca suśroṇī avaṣṭabdhā ca jānakī/ anuraktā hi vaidehī rāmam sarvātmanā śubhā, ananyacittā rāme ca paulomīva puramdare/ tad ekavāsaḥsamvītā rajodhvastā tathaiva ca, śokasamtāpadīnāngī sītā bhartrhite ratā/ sā mayā rākṣasī madhye tarjyamānā muhur muhuḥ, rākṣasībhir virūpābhir dṛṣṭā hi pramadā vane/ ekaveṇīdharā dīnā bhartrcintāparāyaṇā, adhaḥśayyā vivarṇāngī padminīva himāgame/ rāvaṇād vinivṛttārthā martavyakṛtaniścayā, katham cin mṛgaśāvākṣī viśvāsam upapāditā/ tataḥ sambhāṣitā caiva sarvam artham ca darśitā, rāmasugrīvasakhyam ca śrutvā prītim upāgatā, niyataḥ samudācāro bhaktir bhartari cottamā/ yan na hanti daśagrīvam sa mahātmā daśānanaḥ, nimittamātram rāmas tu vadhe tasya bhaviṣyati/ evam āste mahābhāgā sītā śokaparāyaṇā, yad atra pratikartavyam tat sarvam upapādyatām/

As Veera Hanuman presented his detailed picture of his Lanka trip and various revelations of Devi Sita's unusual Pativratya Mahima with which he was thrilled about. āryāyāh sadrśam śīlam sītāyāh plavagarşabhāḥ, tapasā dhārayel lokān kruddhā vā nirdahed api/ sarvathātipravrddho 'sau rāvaņo rākṣasādhipaḥ, yasya tām spṛśato gātram tapasā na vināśitam na tad agniśikhā kuryāt samspṛṣṭā pāṇinā satī, janakasvātmajā kurvād utkrodhakalusīkrtā/ Maha Vaanaraas! As any illustrious female on earth whose unflinching tapasya as of Devi Sita would be able to carry the world along with her, lest the trilokas face ready destruction with agni jvaalaas. No doubt Ravanasura too was equipped with tapo phala and is fully aware that his very touch of the body of a pativrata of Devi Sita's stature would be a passage to his distruction. Even holding 'agni jvaalaas' by one's hands might not be so diastrous as the pain and sufferance of Devi Sita's 'tapo mahima' once gets to the brim would most certainly terminate Ravana's disaster. Having stated thus, Anjaneya rieterated that the task as assigned to him by the maha veeraas like Jambavaan and you all has been completed and now you have all to chalk out a program to enable Shri Rama to reach Devi Sita out of her grief. Am I not fully familiar with the might of personalities of the stature of Jambavan who could shift Mandaraachala or Vaali Putra Angada who could break Mandharaacha into pieces and destroy rakshaas of Lanka! There are such other Vanara veeras like Mainda or Dviveda- the Ashvini Kumaraputras- whom even Deva-Gandharava-Asura-Yaksha- Naaga-Pakshis could dare to encounter! Such Vaanara Veeras are plentiful among us! Moreover, we have the Vaanara King Sugriva and the outstanding heros Shri Rama Lakshmanas. aśokavanikāmadhye rāvanasya durātmanah, adhastāc chimsapāvrkse sādhvī karunam āsthitā/ rāksasībhih parivrtā sokasamtāpakarsitā, meghalekhāparivṛtā candralekheva niṣprabhā/ As of now, however, Devi Sita is seated under the Ashoka Vriksha in the central platform of Ashokavaatika of duratma Ravana as being surrounded by the ghastly flesh eating groups of Rakshasis. She is indeed soaked in distress and helplessness crying away for months now. acintavantī vaidehī rāvaṇam baladarpitam, pativratā ca suśroṇī avaṣṭabdhā ca jānakī/ anuraktā hi vaidehī rāmam sarvātmanā subhā, ananyacittā rāme ca paulomīva puramdare/ Sundara Videhanandini Jaanaki is an unparallelled Pativrata, as being still ignorant of the exremity Ravana's arrogance, brutality and vinidictiveness. Besides saturated with frustratation, she is becoming weak physically day by day, evercounting the days now ar present. Kalyani Sita is totally dedicated to Shri Rama by heart and soul like Shachi Devi to Indra Devadhipati. tad ekavāsahsamvītā rajodhvastā tathaiva ca, śokasamtāpadīnāngī sītā bhartrhite ratā/ sā mayā rākṣasī madhye tarjyamānā muhur muhuḥ, rākṣasībhir virūpābhir dṛṣṭā hi pramadā vane/ She wears an 'eka vastra' of a single 'sari' for months now having been crumpled and badly dusted. She is surrounded by rakshasis who harasss her all the time by heckling and with demoralising jokes and ever tormenting her. adhahśayyā vivarnāngī padminīva himāgame, rāvanād vinivṛttārthā martavyakṛtaniścayā, katham cin mṛgaśāvāksī viśvāsam upapāditā/As she is seeking to sleep on bare ground, her skin shine is truly non existent like of dried up lotus in the 'hemanta ritu' and dushta Ravana could not careless as he is everready to physically assault her. tatah sambhāṣitā caiva sarvam artham ca darśitā, rāmasugrīvasakhyam ca śrutvā prītim upāgatā, niyataḥ samudācāro bhaktir bhartari cottamā/ yan na hanti daśagrīvam sa mahātmā daśānanah, nimittamātram rāmas tu vadhe tasya bhavisyati/ evam āste mahābhāgā sītā śokaparāyanā, yad atra pratikartavyam tat sarvam upapādyatām/ As I spoke to her, then she explained to me the kind of treatment being given to her. Thus the 'dourbhagyashaalini' Devi Sita ever cryingly requested me to seeking relief at the earliest and hence we need to seek her relief at the earliest.'

Sarga Sixty.

As Hanuman had returned successfully, Angada suggested another collective attack Lanka, destroy Ravana and followers and bring Devi Sita back, but Jambavan advised to return and report back only!

Tasya tadvacanam śrutvā vālisūnur abhāṣata, jāmbavatpramukhān sarvān anujñāpya mahākapīn/ asminn evamgate kārve bhavatām ca nivedite, nvāvvam sma saha vaidehvā drastum tau pārthivātmajau/ aham eko 'pi paryāptah sarāksasaganām purīm, tām lankām tarasā hantum rāvanam ca mahābalam/ kim punah sahito vīrair balavadbhih kṛtātmabhih, kṛtāstraih plavagaih śaktair bhavadbhir vijayaisibhih/ aham tu rāvanam yuddhe sasainyam sapurahsaram, saputram vidhamisyāmi sahodarayutam yudhi/ brāhmam aindram ca raudram ca vāyavyam vārunam tathā, yadi śakrajito 'strāni durnirīksyāni samyuge/ tāny aham vidhamişyāmi nihanişyāmi rākşasān, bhavatām abhyanujñāto vikramo me ruṇaddhi tam/ mayātulā visrstā hi śailavrstir nirantarā, devān api raņe hanyāt kim punas tān niśācarān/ sāgaro 'py atiyād velām mandarah pracaled api, na jāmbavantam samare kampayed ariyāhinī/ sarvarākṣasasamghānām rākṣasā ye ca pūrvakāḥ, alam eko vināśāya vīro vāyusutaḥ kapiḥ/ panasasyoruvegena nīlasya ca mahātmanaḥ, mandaro 'py avaśīryeta kim punar yudhi rākṣasāḥ/ sadevāsuravuddhesu gandharvoragapaksisu, maindasva prativoddhāram samsata dvividasva vā/ aśviputrau mahāvegāv etau plavagasattamau, pitāmahavarotsekāt paramam darpam āsthitau/ aśvinor mānanārtham hi sarvaloka pitāmahah, sarvāvadhyatvam atulam anayor dattavān purā/varotsekena mattau ca pramathya mahatīm camūm, surānām amrtam vīrau pītavantau plavamgamau/ etāv eva hi samkruddhau savājirathakuñjarām, lankām nāśavitum śaktau sarve tisthantu vānarāh/ avuktam tu vinā devīm drstabadbhih plavamgamāh, samīpam gantum asmābhī rāghavasya mahātmanah/ drstā devī na cānītā iti tatra nivedanam, ayuktam iva paśyāmi bhavadbhih khyātavikramaih/ na hi vah plavate kaś cin nāpi kaś cit parākrame, tulvah sāmaradaityesu lokesu harisattamāh/ tesv evam hatavīresu rāksasesu hanūmatā, kim anyad atra kartavyam grhītvā yāma jānakīm/ tam evam krtasamkalpam jāmbavān harisattamah, uvāca paramaprīto vākyam arthavad arthavit/ na tāvad eṣā matir akṣamā no; yathā bhavān paśvati rājaputra, vathā tu rāmasva matir nivistā; tathā bhavān paśvatu kārvasiddhim/

Spontaneously reacting to Hanuman's appeal to co Vaanara Pramukhas to save Devi Sita from her harrassment instantly, Vaali Kumara Angada pointed out about Ashvini Kumara Putras Mainda and Dvivida. Angada recalled that in the past, Mainda and Dvivida were very arrogant as Brahma Deva having kept the honour and fame of Ashvini Kumaras excused Mainda and Dvivida despite their egoistical bigheadedness and even allowed the reach of 'amrita' and thus their invincibility. Thus these maha veeras could devastate Ravana and his 'raakshasa sena'. Come to think of it, am too should be able to desroy Ravana and hs entire followers, and like wise many others could certainly perform likewise backed uo by all of you. Had not Vayuputra had just now demonstated his ability all by himself! Should not all of us together attack with our combined might straight away and destroy Lanka on one go! As Vaanara Yuvaraja Angada affirmed likewise, Jambaban intervened being pleased with Angada Kumara's self assurances. He stated: Neshaam buddhirmahabuddhhe yad braveeshi Maha Kape, vichetun vayamaagjnatvaa dakshinaam dishaamuttamaam, naa nrutam kapirajena naiva Ramena dheemataa/ 'Maha Kape! You are a known buddhiman of maturity and courage undoubtedly; yet your instant reaction on learning of the present 'duravastha' of Devi Sita, is perhaps not in order; [especially keeping in view of her hesitation of consenting Hanuman's offer to reach her to the presence of Rama-Lakshmana-Sugrivas instantly all by himself]. This is keeping in view that Vaanara Raja Sugriva as also of Shri Rama instructed us to expore for Devi Sitanveshana merely, but not to bring her to kishkindha for 'Rama darshana'. Even if we would have succeeded in doing so and presented Devi Sita before them, what about the magnificence of Ayodhya and would Shri Rama have appreciated such action? *Pratigjnyaaya* svayam Rajaa Sitaavijayamagatah,sarveshaam kapimukhyaanaam katham midhyaa karishyati/ Viphulam karma cha kritam bhavet tushtirna tasya cha, vrithaa cha darshitam veeryam bhaved vaanara pungayaah/ Shri Rama took a vow that he himself would go to Lanka and after his emphatic success he

would return and should we destroy that decisive pratigina! If he were not to have so decided, should all our efforts would be wasteful! Tasmaad gacchhaama ve sarve yatra Raamah salakshmanah, Sugrivascha maha tejah karyasyaasya nivedane/ That is why Yuva Raja Angada! Let us all reach Kishkindha and prove our succeess of Devi Sitanveshana-her darshana and all the rest. Raja Kumara! You may decide your self but this is my considered counsel!

Sarga Sixty One

On return to Kishkindha vaanara veeras entered Madhuvana of trees and sweet fruits and destroyed it. The incharge Vanara Dadhimukha - Sugriva's uncle - was beaten in return

Tato jāmbavato vākyam agrhņanta vanaukasah, angadapramukhā vīrā hanūmāmś ca mahākapih/ prītimantas tatah sarve vāyuputrapurahsarāh, mahendrāgram parityajya pupluvuh plavagarsabhāh/ merumandarasamkāśā mattā iva mahāgajāḥ, chādayanta ivākāśam mahākāyā mahābalāḥ/ sabhājya mānam bhūtais tam ātmavantam mahābalam, hanūmantam mahāvegam vahanta iva drstibhih/ rāghave cārthanirvrttim bhartuś ca paramam yaśaḥ, samādhāya samrddhārthāḥ karmasiddhibhir unnatāḥ priyākhyānonmukhāḥ sarve sarve yuddhābhinandinaḥ, sarve rāmapratīkāre niścitārthā manasvinaḥ/ plavamānāh kham āplutya tatas te kānanauksakah, nandanopamam āsedur vanam drumalatāyutam/ yat tan madhuvanam nāma sugrīvasyābhiraksitam, adhrsyam sarvabhūtānām sarvabhūtamanoharam/ yad rakṣati mahāvīryah sadā dadhimukhah kapih, mātulah kapimukhyasya sugrīvasya mahātmanah/ te tad vanam upāgamya babhūvuḥ paramotkaṭāḥ, vānarā vānarendrasya manaḥkāntatamam mahat/ tatas te vānarā hṛṣṭā dṛṣṭvā madhuvanam mahat, kumāram abhyayācanta madhūni madhupingalāḥ/ tataḥ kumāras tān vṛddhāñ jāmbavatpramukhān kapīn,anumānya dadau teṣām nisargam madhubhakṣaṇe/ tataś cānumatāh sarve samprahṛstā vanaukasah, muditāś ca tatas te ca pranṛtyanti tatas tatah/ gāyanti ke cit pranamanti ke cin; nrtyanti ke cit prahasanti ke cit, patanti ke cid vicaranti ke cit; plavanti ke cit pralapanti ke cit/ parasparam ke cid upāśrayante; parasparam ke cid atibruvante, drumād drumam ke cid abhiplavante; kṣitau nagāgrān nipatanti ke cit/ mahītalāt ke cid udīrṇavegā; mahādrumāgrāny abhisampatante, gāvantam anyah prahasann upaiti; hasantam anyah prahasann upaiti/rudantam anyah prarudann upaiti; nudantam anyaḥ pranudann upaiti, samākulam tat kapisainyam āsīn; madhuprapānot kaṭa sattvaceṣṭam, na cātra kaś cin na babhūva matto; na cātra kaś cin na babhūva tṛpto/ tato vanam tat paribhaksyamānam; drumāms ca vidhvamsitapatrapuspān, samīksya kopād dadhivaktranāmā; nivārayām āsa kapiḥ kapīms tān/ sa taiḥ pravṛddhaiḥ paribhartsyamāno; vanasya goptā harivīravṛddhaḥ, cakāra bhūyo matim ugratejā; vanasya rakṣām prati vānarebhyaḥ/ uvāca kām's cit paruṣāṇi dhṛṣṭam; asaktam anyāms ca talair jaghāna, sametya kais cit kalaham cakāra; tathaiva sāmnopajagāma kāms cit/ sa tair madāc cāprativārya vegair; balāc ca tenāprativāryamāṇaiḥ, pradharṣitas tyaktabhayaiḥ sametya; prakṛṣyate cāpy anavekṣya doṣam/ nakhais tudanto daśanair daśantas; talaiś ca pādaiś ca samāpnuvantah, madāt kapim tam kapayah samagrā; mahāvanam nirviṣayam ca cakruh/

Truly obsessed with the successful return of Veera Hanuman from Lanka- Devi Sita darshana- aneka Rakshasa Vadha-and destroying Lanka to flames and such heroics, decided to return to Kishkindha to meet Sugriva-Rama Lakshmans. As a mark of celebration, the Vaanaa Veeras entered 'Madhu Vana'and enjoy the fresh fruits with excessive excitement ravaged the massive garden creating ruckus and havoc. This popular Madhu Vana was basically owned by Vanara King Sugriva himself and Maha Vanara Dadhimukha, the maternal uncle of Sugriva, was managinging the fruit garden on behalf of Sugriva. On sighting the fresh fruit garden, the Vanara Sena socicited Yuva Raja Angada's permission to enter and enjoy the readily inviting Madhu vana as the latter gave his consent as if he was the garden manager himself. Then followed the plundering of the fruit garden by destroying the tree branches, tasting the fruits, biting-spitting the fruit skins- throwing the unriped and rotten ones and such mischievous, disoderly damagings of trees, typical of monkey acts. Some of the Vaanaras were singing obcene songs, some were dancing, some falling down to earth, some shouting vulgarities, jumping with excitemet, embracing each other, running fast all around, some chasing each other with tree branches, uprooting

trees, yelling, and thus creating havoc all around. Thus the vaanara sena went berserk. As Dadhimukha the in charge Vaanara, tried to stop the nonsense and received groupwise thrasings and physical assults in return. In sheer self defence, Dadhimukha tried to pierce the uncontrollable offenders by his sharp nails and teeth, but was subdued by the crowd of vanara soldiers and smashed the Madhu Vana to shambles.

Sargas Sixty Two and Sixty Three

<u>Dadhimukha and staff ran away to Sugriva for protection; the latter wondered whether the south bound</u> Vanara Sena with Angada-Hanuman-Jambavaan was returning from Lanka as per 'shubha suchanas'!

Tān uvāca hariśrestho hanūmān vānararsabhah,avyagramanaso yūyam madhu sevata vānarāh/śrutvā hanumato vākyam harīṇām pravaro 'ngadaḥ, pratyuvāca prasannātmā pibantu harayo madhu/ avaśyam kṛtakāryasya vākyam hanumato mayā, akāryam api kartavyam kim anga punar īdṛśam/ andagasya mukhāc chrutvā vacanam vānararsabhāh, sādhu sādhv iti samhrstā vānarāh pratyapūjayan/ pūjavitvāngadam sarve vānarā vānararsabham, jagmur madhuvanam vatra nadīvega iva drutam/ te prahrstā madhuvanam pālān ākramya vīryataḥ, atisargāc ca patavo drstvā śrutvā ca maithilīm/ utpatya ca tataḥ sarve vanapālān samāgatāḥ, tāḍayanti sma śataśaḥ saktān madhuvane tadā/ madhūni dronamātrāni bahubhih parigrhya te, ghnanti sma sahitāh sarve bhaksayanti tathāpare/ ke cit pītvāpavidhyanti madhūni madhupingalāh, madhūccistena ke cic ca jaghnur anyonyam utkatāh/apare vrksamūlesu sākhām grhya vyavasthitah, atyartham ca madaglānāh parņāny āstīrya serate/ unmattabhūtāḥ plavagā madhumattāś ca hṛṣṭavat, kṣipanty api tathānyonyam skhalanty api tathāpare/ ke cit kşvedān prakurvanti ke cit kūjanti hṛṣṭavat, harayo madhunā mattāḥ ke cit suptā mahītale/ ye 'py atra madhupālāḥ syuḥ preṣyā dadhimukhasya tu, te 'pi tair vānarair bhīmaiḥ pratiṣiddhā diśo gatāḥ/ jānubhiś ca prakṛṣṭāś ca devamārgam ca darśiṭāh, abruvan paramodvignā gatvā dadhimukham vacah/ hanūmatā dattavarair hatam madhuvanam balāt, vayam ca jānubhih kṛstā devamārgam ca darśitāh/ tato dadhimukhah kruddho vanapas tatra vānarah, hatam madhuvanam śrutvā sāntvayām āsa tān harīn/ etāgacchata gacchāmo vānarān atidarpitān, balenāvārayisyāmo madhu bhakṣayato vayam/ śrutvā dadhimukhasyedam yacanam yānararsabhāh, punar yīrā madhuyanam tenaiya sahitā yayuh/ madhye caisām dadhimukhah pragrhya sumahātarum, samabhyadhāvad vegenā te ca sarve playamgamāh/ te śilāḥ pādapāmś cāpi pāṣāṇāmś cāpi vānarāḥ, grhītvābhyāgaman kruddhā yatra te kapikuñjarāḥ/ te svāmivacanam vīrā hrdayesv avasajya tat, tvarayā hy abhyadhāvanta sālatālaśilāyudhāh/ vrksasthāmś ca talasthām's ca vānarān baladarpitān, abhyakrāmanta te vīrāh pālās tatra sahasrasah/ atha drstvā dadhimukham kruddham vānarapumgavāh, abhyadhāvanta vegena hanūmatpramukhās tadā/ tam savrksam mahābāhum āpatantam mahābalam, ārvakam prāharat tatra bāhubhyām kupito 'ngadah/ madāndhaś a na vedainam āryako 'yam mameti saḥ, athainam nispipeṣāśu vegavad vasudhātale/ sa bhagnabāhur vimukho vihvalaḥ śoṇitokṣitaḥ, mumoha sahasā vīro muhūrtam kapikuñjarah/ sa katham cid vimuktas tair vānarair vānararṣabhaḥ, uvācaikāntam āgamya bhṛtyāms tān samupāgatān/ ete tisthantu gacchāmo bhartā no vatra vānarah, sugrīvo vipulagrīvah saha rāmena tisthati/ sarvam caivāngade dosam śrāvavisvāmi pārthiva, amarsī vacanam śrutvā ghātavisvati vānarān/ istam madhuvanam hy etat sugrīvasya mahātmanah, pitṛpaitāmaham divyam devair api durāsadam/ sa vānarān imān sarvān madhulubdhān gatāyusah, ghātayisyati dandena sugrīvah sasuhrjjanān/ vadhyā hy ete durātmāno nṛpājñā paribhāvinah, amarsaprabhavo rosah saphalo no bhavisyati/ evam uktvā dadhimukho vanapālān mahābalah, jagāma sahasotpatya vanapālaih samanvitah/ nimesāntaramātrena sa hi prāpto vanālayah, sahasrāmsusuto dhīmān sugrīvo yatra vānarah/ rāmam ca laksmanam caiva dṛṣṭvā sugrīvam eva ca, samapratiṣṭhām jagatīm ākāśān nipapāta ha/ sa nipatya mahāvīryaḥ sarvais taiḥ parivāritaḥ, harir dadhimukhaḥ pālaiḥ pālānām parameśvaraḥ/sa dīnavadano bhūtvā kṛtvā śirasi cāñjalim, sugrīvasya śubhau mūrdhnā caranau pratyapīdayat/

As a mark of celebration of Veer Hanuman's successful Devi Sita darshana and conversation, aneka Rakshasa Vadha, Lanka dahana, and return, Vaanara Veeras on their return journey to Kishkindha found Madhu vana full of fresh and sweet fruits as encouraged by Hanuman and Vaanara Yuva Raja Angada.

The Vaanara sena had started breaking the trees to collect ripe friuits and eventually broke into the fruit garden for 'madhupaana' and devastated it as owned by King Sugriva himself and managed by Dadhimukha the maternal uncle of Sugriva. As the vaanaras went berserk in the celebrations, Dadhimukha shouted at the defiant vanaras. śrutvā dadhimukhas yedam vacanam vānarar şabhāḥ, punar vīrā madhuvanam tenaiva sahitā yayuh/ madhye caisām dadhimukhah pragrhya sumahātarum, samabhyadhāvad vegenā te ca sarve plavamgamāh/ te śilāḥ pādapām's cāpi pāṣāṇām's cāpi vānarāḥ, grhītvābhyāgaman kruddhā yatra te kapikuñjarāh/ Dadhimukha's stern, insinuating shouts at the Vanara soldiers, they got extremly worked up and replied by throwing broken trees, heave stones and boulders at Dashimukha and his follower vanaras. In reply there was exchanges of mutual fight reached Hanuman and the other Vanara Veeras to ataack. atha drstvā dadhimukham kruddham vānarapumgavāh, abhyadhāvanta vegena hanūmatpramukhās tadā/ tam savṛksam mahābāhum āpatantam mahābalam, āryakam prāharat tatra bāhubhyām kupito 'ngadah/. As the angry Dadhimukha rushed to Hanuman and other vaanara stalvarts, the furious Angada held the hands of Dadhimukha, beat him black and blue, through him down and started fisting and damaging his shoulders, thighs, face and wrists. Having lost his consciouness and gradully recoverd. Dadhimukha said in low whispers addressing his followers: ete tiṣṭhantu gacchāmo bhartā no yatra vānaraḥ, sugrīvo vipulagrīvaḥ saha rāmeṇa tiṣṭhati/ sarvam caivāngade doṣam śrāvayiṣyāmi pārthiva, amarṣī vacanam śrutvā ghātayiṣyati vānarān/ iṣṭam madhuvanam hy etat sugrīvasya mahātmanah, pitrpaitāmaham divyam devair api durāsadam/ 'Come come with me. Let us straightawy to to Sugriva and report to him as should be seated along with Rama Lakshmanas now. King Sugriva is extremely fond of Madhu Vana and would not allow even Devas, let alone his kith and kin even and hit Angada on his head and break his bones. He should also punish to death the so called vanara veeras as they are drunk with some success. evam uktvā dadhimukho vanapālān mahābalaḥ, jagāma sahasotpatya vanapālaiḥ samanvitaḥ/ nimeṣāntaramātreṇa sa hi prāpto vanālayaḥ, sahasrāmsusuto dhīmān sugrīvo yatra vānarah/rāmam ca laksmanam caiva dṛstvā sugrīvam eva ca, samapratisthām jagatīm ākāśān nipapāta ha/Thus having suggested like wise, Dadhimukha and his followers leaped up to the sky and a matter of minutes and descended down, as Shri Rama-Lakshmana and Sugrivas noted their descent nearing him. sa nipatya mahāvīryah sarvais taih parivāritah, harir dadhimukhah pālaih pālānām parameśvarah/sa dīnavadano bhūtvā krtvā śirasi cāñjalim, sugrīvasva śubhau mūrdhnā caranau pratvapīdavat/ As they descended down they all kneeled down at once.

Sarga Sixty Three conninued:

Tato mūrdhnā nipatitam vānaram vānararşabhaḥ,drṣṭvaivodvignahrdayo vākyam etad uvāca ha/ uttisthottistha kasmāt tvam pādayoh patito mama, abhayam te bhaved vīra satyam evābhidhīyatām/ sa tu viśvāsitas tena sugrīveņa mahātmanā, utthāya ca mahāprājño vākyam dadhimukho 'bravīt/ naivarkşarajasā rājan na tvayā nāpi vālinā, vanam nisrstapūrvam hi bhaksitam tat tu vānaraih ebhih pradharşitāś caiva vāritā vanarakşibhiḥ, madhūny acintayitvemān bhakṣayanti pibanti ca/śiṣṭam atrāpavidhvanti bhaksavanti tathāpare, nivārvamānās te sarve bhruvau vai darśavanti hi/ ime hi samrabdhatarās tathā taih sampradharsitāh, vāravanto vanāt tasmāt kruddhair vānarapumgavaih/ tatas tair bahubhir vīrair vānarair vānararṣabhāḥ, samraktanayanaiḥ krodhād dharayaḥ sampracālitāḥ/ pānibhir nihatāh ke cit ke cij jānubhir āhatāh, prakṛstāś ca yathākāmam devamārgam ca darśitāh/ evam ete hatāh śūrās tvayi tisthati bhartari, kṛtsnam madhuvanam caiva prakāmam taih prabhaksyate/ evam vijñāpyamānam tu sugrīvam vānararsabham, aprechat tam mahāprājño laksmanah paravīrahā/kim ayam vānaro rājan vanapah pratyupasthitah, kam cārtham abhinirdisya duḥkhito vākyam abravīt/ evam uktas tu sugrīvo lakşmaṇena mahātmanā, lakṣmaṇam pratyuvācedam vākyam vākyaviśāradaḥ/ ārya lakşmana samprāha vīro dadhimukhah kapih, angadapramukhair vīrair bhakṣitam madhuvānaraih/ naiṣām akṛtakṛtyānām īdṛśaḥ syād upakramaḥ, vanam yathābhipannam taiḥ sādhitam karma vānaraiḥ/ dṛṣtā devī na saṃdeho na cānyena hanūmatā, na hy anyah sādhane hetuh karmano 'sya hanūmatah/ kāryasiddhir hanumati matis ca haripumgava, vyavasāyas ca vīryam ca srutam cāpi pratisthitam/ jāmbavān yatra netā syād aṅgadasya baleśvaraḥ, hanūmāṁś cāpy adhiṣṭhātā na tasya gatir anyathā/ angadapramukhair vīrair hatam madhuvanam kila, vicintva daksinām āśām āgatair haripumgavaih/

āgataiś ca pravistam tad yathā madhuvanam hi taih, dharsitam ca vanam krtsnam upayuktam ca vānaraih, vāritāh sahitāh pālās tathā jānubhir āhatāh/ etadartham ayam prāpto vaktum madhuravāg iha,nāmnā dadhimukho nāma hariḥ prakhyātavikramaḥ/ dṛṣṭā sītā mahābāho saumitre paśya tattvataḥ, abhigamya yathā sarve pibanti madhu vānarāh/na cāpy adrstvā vaidehīm viśrutāh puruṣarṣabha, vanam dätta varam divvam dharsavevur vanaukasah/ tatah prahrsto dharmātmā laksmanah saharāghavah. śrutvā karņasukhām vāṇīm sugrīvavadanāc cyutām/ prāhṛṣyata bhṛśam rāmo lakṣmaṇaś ca mahāyaśāḥ, śrutvā dadhimukhasyedam sugrīvas tu prahrsya ca, vanapālam punar vākyam sugrīvah pratyabhāsata/ prīto 'smi saumva vad bhuktam vanam taih krtakarmabhih marsitam marsanīvam ca cestitam krtakarmanām/ icchāmi śīghram hanumatpradhānān; śākhāmrgāms tān mrgarājadarpān drastum kṛtārthān saha rāghavābhyām; śrotum ca sītādhigame prayatnam/ sugrīvenaivam uktas tu hṛsto dadhimukhah kapih, rāghavam laksmanam caiva sugrīvam cābhyavādayat/ sa pranamya ca sugrīvam rāghavau ca mahābalau, vānaraih sahitaih śūrair divam evotpapāta ha/ sa yathaivāgatah pūrvam tathaiva tvarito gataḥ, nipatya gaganād bhūmau tad vanam praviveśa ha/ sa praviṣṭo madhuvanam dadarśa hariyūthapān, vimadān uddhatān sarvān mehamānān madhūdakam/ sa tān upāgamad vīro baddhvā karaputāñjalim, uvāca vacanam ślaksnam idam hrstavad angadam/ saumva roso na kartavvo yad ebhir abhivāritaḥ, ajñānād rakṣibhiḥ krodhād bhavantaḥ pratiṣedhitāḥ/ yuvarājas tvam īśaś ca vanasyāsya mahābala, maurkhyāt pūrvam krto doṣas tad bhavān kṣantum arhati/ yathaiva hi pitā te 'bhūt pūrvam hariganeśvarah, tathā tvam api sugrīvo nānyas tu harisattama/ ākhyātam hi mayā gatvā pitṛvyasya tavānagha, ihopayānam sarvesām etesām vanacārinām/ sa tvadāgamanam śrutvā sahaibhir hariyūthapaih, prahṛṣṭo na tu ruṣṭo 'sau vanam śrutvā pradharṣitam prahṛṣṭo mām piṭṛvyas te sugrīvo vānareśvaraḥ, śīghram preṣaya sarvāms tān iti hovāca pārthivaḥ/ śrutvā dadhimukhasyaitad vacanam ślaksnam angadah, abravīt tān hariśrestho vākyam vākyaviśāradah/ śanke śruto 'yam vṛttānto rāmena hariyūthapāḥ, tat kṣamam neha naḥ sthātum kṛte kārye paramtapāḥ/ pītvā madhu yathākāmam viśrāntā vanacārinah, kim sesam gamanam tatra sugrīvo yatra me guruh/ sarve yathā mām vaksyanti sametya hariyūthapāh, tathāsmi kartā kartavye bhavadbhih paravān aham/ nājñāpayitum īśo 'ham yuvarājo 'smi yady api, ayuktam krtakarmāno yūyam dharsayitum mayā/ bruvataś cāngadaś caivam śrutvā vacanam avyayam, prahrstamanaso vākyam idam ūcur vanaukasaḥ/ evam vakṣyati ko rājan prabhuḥ san vānararsabha, aiśvarvamadamatto hi sarvo 'ham iti manyate/ tava cedam susadrśam vākyam nānyasva kasya cit, samnatir hi tavākhyāti bhavisyac chubhabhāgyatām/ sarve vayam api prāptās tatra gantum kṛtakṣaṇāḥ, sa yatra harivīrāṇām sugrīvaḥ patir avyayaḥ/ tvayā hy anuktair haribhir naiva śakyam padāt padam, kva cid gantum hariśrestha brūmah satyam idam tu te/ evam tu vadatām tesām angadah pratyabhāsata, bādham gacchāma ity uktvā utpapāta mahītalāt/ utpatantam anūtpetuh sarve te hariyūthapāh, krtvākāśam nirākāśam yajñotksiptā ivānalāh/ te 'mbaram sahasotpatya vegavantah plavamgamāh, vinadanto mahānādam ghanā vāteritā yathā/ angade hy ananuprāpte sugrīvo vānarādhipaḥ, uvāca śokopahatam rāmam kamalalocanam/ samāśvasihi bhadram te drṣṭā devī na samśayah, nāgantum iha śakyam tair atīte samaye hi naḥ/ na matsakāśam āgacchet kṛtye hi vinipātite, yuvarājo mahābāhuḥ plavatām pravaro 'ngadaḥ/ yady apy akrtakrtyānām īdrsaḥ syād upakramaḥ, bhayet tu dīnayadano bhrāntayiplutamānasah/ pitrpaitāmaham caitat pūryakair abhiraksitam, na me madhuvanam hanyād ahrstah playageśvarah/ kausalyā suprajā rāma samāśvasihi suvrata, drstā devī na samdeho na cānyena hanūmatā, na hy anyaḥ karmaṇo hetuḥ sādhane tadvidho bhavet/ hanūmati hi siddhiś ca matiś ca matisattama, vyavasāyaś ca vīryam ca sūrye teja iva dhruvam/ jāmbavān yatra netā syād aṅgadaś ca baleśvarah, hanūmāṁś cāpy adhisthātā na tasya gatir anyathā, mā bhūś cintā samāyuktah sampraty amitavikrama/ tatah kila kilā śabdam śuśrāvāsannam ambare, hanūmat karmadrptānām nardatām kānanaukasām, kiṣkindhām upayātānām siddhim kathayatām iva/ tataḥ śrutvā ninādam tam kapīnām kapisattamah, āyatāñcitalāngūlah so 'bhavad dhṛṣṭamānasah/ ājagmus te 'pi harayo rāmadarśanakānkṣiṇah, aṅgadam puratah kṛtvā hanūmantam ca vānaram/ te 'ṅgadapramukhā vīrāḥ praḥṛṣṭāś ca mudānvitāḥ, nipetur harirājasya samīpe rāghavasya ca/ hanūmāmś ca mahābahuḥ pranamya śirasā tatah, niyatām aksatām devīm rāghavāya nyavedayat/ niścitārtham tatas tasmin sugrīvam pavanātmaje, laksmanah prītimān prītam bahumānād avaiksata/ prītyā ca ramamāno 'tha rāghavaḥ paravīrahā, bahu mānena mahatā hanūmantam avaikṣata/

King Sugriva consoled Dadhimukha and his men extending his 'abhaya hasta' and desired to know the details of what had happened. Then the reply was Maha Vanara Raja! Your Yuvaraja Angada allowed his huge 'veera sena' to enter the Madhuvana to enjoy fresh fruits. Then Hanuman and others commenced breaking trees branches and eating the fruits and their juices. Gradually, they broke the tree branches for the fruit selection and the momentum got accelerated too soon and trees were smashed, branches were destroyed, ending up in disater to the garden. I tried to scold them and eventually the balance was badly tilted as the joyful vaanara veeras went berserk. At that juncture, Veera Lakshmana interruped and queried: what were the 'raksha bhat' force was doing then! Then Sugriva replied: surely Dadhimukha's soldiers should have been performing their duty but Angada himself encouraged as the vanara sena under his command and that must have led the sena to go out of control.angadapramukhair vīrair hatam madhuvanam kila, vicintya daksinām āśām āgatair haripumgavaih/āgataiś ca pravistam tad yathā madhuvanam hi taiḥ, dharṣitam ca vanam kṛtsnam upayuktam ca vānaraiḥ, vāritāh sahitāh pālās tathā jānubhir āhatāh/ Lakshmana Prabho! As Yuva Raja Angada being extremely elated in his mission of success of the dakshina sena of Devi Sitaanveshana instructed his sena to celebrate with 'madhupaana' apparently and in the process created havoc there even by beating the 'In charge' and his men. Otherwise it would not be possible for a gang of vaanara hooligans to enter Madhuvana and destroy it in the manner that Dadhimukha had explained. etartham ayam prāpto vaktum madhuravāg iha, nāmnā dadhimukho nāma harih prakhyātavikramah/ dṛṣtā sītā mahābāho saumitre paśya tattvatah, abhigamya yathā sarve pibanti madhu vānarāh/na cāpy adṛstvā vaidehīm viśrutāh purusarsabha, vanam dātta varam divyam dharşayeyur vanaukasah/ Hence my maternal uncle had explanied his having been physically beaten as also his men indirectly hinting that that Angada himself was responsible at his memorable success having been celebrated. tataḥ prahṛṣṭo dharmātmā lakṣmaṇaḥ saharāghavaḥ, śrutvā karṇasukhām vāṇīm sugrīvavadanāc cyutām/ prāhṛṣyata bhṛśam rāmo lakṣmaṇaś ca mahāyaśāḥ, śrutvā dadhimukhasyedam sugrīvas tu prahṛsya ca, vanapālam punar vākyam sugrīvah pratyabhāsata/ prīto 'smi saumya yad bhuktam vanam taih kṛtakarmabhih, marsitam marsanīyam ca cestitam kṛtakarmanām/ As Sugriva interpreted with happy revival of hope and even excitement, Lakshmana and Shri Rama too were truly delighted, displaying a great sigh of relief and with excitement; in fact, Shri Rama's countenance was brightened as Lakshmana was overjoyed. Vanara King addressed the crestfallen Dadhi Mukha! Dear Uncle! I am thrilled that my dakshina vaanara sena did a splendid task and enjoyed the sweetness of 'Madhu Paana' having plundered the Madhu Vana after their memorable success even as I feel unhappy at their having beaten you and your soldiers badly for which I share my extreme sympathy as Angada too must be regretful. Now, you may kindly forget and forgive. Kindly return back soon to Madh Vana and ask the prominent leaders of the Dakshina Sena like Veera Hanuman and the Yuvaraja to reach us at once.' Then Shri Rama Lakshmanas were truly in rapturous excitement, relief and suppressed emotions and softly extended their hands to King Sugriva as a gesture of appreciation, gratitude and extraordinary frienship!

Sarga Sixty Four

On Sugriva's instruction, dakshina sena reached Kishkindha reporting success and Devi Sita's safety.

Sugrīveṇaivam uktas tu hṛṣṭo dadhimukhaḥ kapiḥ, rāghavam lakṣmaṇam caiva sugrīvam cābhyavādayat/ sa praṇamya ca sugrīvam rāghavau ca mahābalau, vānaraiḥ sahitaiḥ śūrair divam evotpapāta ha/ yathaivāgataḥ pūrvam tathaiva tvarito gataḥ, nipatya gaganād bhūmau tad vanam praviveśa ha/ sa praviṣṭo madhuvanam dadarśa hariyūthapān, vimadān uddhatān sarvān mehamānān madhūdakam/ sa tān upāgamad vīro baddhvā karapuṭāñjalim, uvāca vacanam ślakṣṇam idam hṛṣṭavad aṅgadam/ saumya roṣo na kartavyo yad ebhir abhivāritaḥ, ajñānād rakṣibhiḥ krodhād bhavantaḥ pratiṣedhitāḥ/ yuvarājas tvam īśaś ca vanasyāsya mahābala, maurkhyāt pūrvam kṛto doṣas tad bhavān kṣantum arhati/ yathaiva hi pitā te 'bhūt pūrvam harigaṇeśvaraḥ, tathā tvam api sugrīvo nānyas tu harisattama/ākhyātam hi mayā gatvā pitṛvyasya tavānagha, ihopayānam sarveṣām eteṣām vanacāriṇām/ sa tvadāgamanam śrutvā sahaibhir harivūthapaih, prahrsto na tu rusto 'sau vanam śrutvā pradharsitam/ prahrsto mām pitrvvas te

sugrīvo vānareśvarah, śīghram presaya sarvāms tān iti hovāca pārthivah/ śrutvā dadhimukhasyaitad vacanam ślaksnam angadah, abravīt tān hariśrestho vākyam vākyaviśāradah/ śanke śruto 'yam vrttānto rāmena hariyūthapāh, tat kṣamam neha nah sthātum kṛte kārye paramtapāh/ pītvā madhu yathākāmam viśrāntā vanacāriṇaḥ, kim śeṣam gamanam tatra sugrīvo yatra me guruḥ/ sarve yathā mām vakṣyanti sametya hariyūthapāh, tathāsmi kartā kartavve bhayadbhih parayān aham/ nājñāpayitum īśo 'ham yuvarājo 'smi yady api, ayuktam kṛtakarmāṇo yūyam dharṣayitum mayā/ bruvataś cāngadaś caivam śrutvā vacanam avyayam, prahrstamanaso vākyam idam ūcur vanaukasaḥ/ evam vakṣyati ko rājan prabhuh san vānararsabha, aiśvarvamadamatto hi sarvo 'ham iti manyate/ tava cedam susadršam vākyam nānyasya kasya cit, samnatir hi tavākhyāti bhavisyac chubhabhāgyatām/ sarve vayam api prāptās tatra gantum krtaksanāh, sa yatra harivīrānām sugrīvah patir avyayah/ tvayā hy anuktair haribhir naiva śakyam padāt padam, kva cid gantum hariśrestha brūmah satyam idam tu te/ evam tu vadatām tesām angadah pratyabhāsata, bādham gacchāma ity uktvā utpapāta mahītalāt/ utpatantam anūtpetuh sarve te hariyūthapāh, krtvākāśam nirākāśam yajñotkṣiptā ivānalāh/ te 'mbaram sahasotpatya vegavantah plavamgamāh, vinadanto mahānādam ghanā vāteritā yathā/ angade hy ananuprāpte sugrīvo vānarādhipah, uvāca śokopahatam rāmam kamalalocanam/ samāśvasihi bhadram te drstā devī na samśayaḥ, nāgantum iha śakyam tair atīte samaye hi naḥ/ na matsakāśam āgacchet kṛtye hi vinipātite, yuvarājo mahābāhuḥ plavatām pravaro 'ngadaḥ/ yady apy akrtakrtyānām īdrsaḥ syād upakramaḥ, bhavet tu dīnavadano bhrāntaviplutamānasah/ pitrpaitāmaham caitat pūrvakair abhiraksitam, na me madhuvanam hanyād ahṛstah plavageśvarah/ kausalyā suprajā rāma samāśvasihi suvrata, dṛstā devī na samdeho na cānyena hanūmatā/ na hy anyaḥ karmaṇo hetuḥ sādhane tadvidho bhavet, hanūmati hi siddhiś ca matis ca matisattama/ vyavasāyaś ca vīryam ca sūrye teja iva dhruvam, jāmbavān yatra netā syād angadas ca balesvaraḥ/ hanūmāms cāpy adhiṣṭhātā na tasya gatir anyathā, mā bhūs cintā samāyuktah sampraty amitavikrama/ tatah kila kilā śabdam śuśrāvāsannam ambare, hanūmat karmadrptānām nardatām kānanaukasām, kiskindhām upayātānām siddhim kathayatām iva/ tatah śrutvā ninādam tam kapīnām kapisattamah, āyatāncitalāngūlah so 'bhavad dhṛstamānasah' ājagmus te 'pi harayo rāmadarśanakānksinah, angadam puratah kṛtvā hanūmantam ca vānaram/ te 'ngadapramukhā vīrāh prahrstās ca mudānvitāh, nipetur harirājasya samīpe rāghavasya ca/ hanūmāms ca mahābahuh pranamya śirasā tatah, nivatām aksatām devīm rāghavāva nvavedavat/ niścitārtham tatas tasmin sugrīvam pavanātmaje, laksmanah prītimān prītam bahumānād avaiksata/ prītvā ca ramamāno 'tha rāghavaḥ paravīrahā, bahu mānena mahatā hanūmantam avaikṣata/

As Vaanara Raja Sugriva instructed Dadhimukha to return back to Madhuvana at once and ask Angada, Anjaneyaadi 'maha yaanara yoddhhas' to immediately reach Kishkindha, the latter performed paadaabhi vandana to Rama Lakshmana Sugrivas and thus was airborn to land at the Madhuvana and gave the message. Angada thus having overcome his erstwhile anger and gaining normalcy sought pardon from Dadhimukha. The latter too responded politely: 'I got furious as the per the reports my messengers spread all over the Madhuvana litte realising thar the sena was obviously exhausted after long journey; indeed you as the Yuva Raja, in the past, Sugriva too was taking similar care of the followers. Now, King Sugriva instructed me that all of you in the dakshina sena be sent expeditiously to him in kishkindha as he was delighted to hear the news of your success of your return from the seashores'. Angada replied: Vaanarottama! It appears that Bhagavan Shri Rama appears to have realised of our return. Now in any case our spree of madhu paana is over by now, and we are in any case, ready to leave. Then Angada pushed Veera Anjaneya ahead and as the south bound detachment of the Maha Vaanaraas were sky borne atonce shouting 'victory', maha victory'as the 'Jai Jai ninaadaas' were resounding at their landing. As the sena was landing, Vaanara Raja Sugriva addressed Shri Rama: samāśvasihi bhadram te dṛṣṭā devī na samśayah, nāgantum iha śakyam tair atīte samaye hi naḥ/ na matsakāśam āgacchet kṛtye hi vinipātite, yuvarājo mahābāhuḥ plavatām pravaro 'ngadaḥ/ yady apy akrtakrtyānām īdrsaḥ syād upakramaḥ, bhavet tu dīnavadano bhrāntaviplutamānasah/ Maha Prabho! Please control your emotions mentally. May 'shubha kalyaana' shower all around! May auspicousness prevail at once. Now, the days of brooding are hereby terminated for ever. Undoubtedly 'Devi Sitanveshana' is concluded. Even as the notice period is long past over these 'veeraas' under the management of Angada were decisive of 'Do or Die'. Shri

Rama! The composed behaviour pattern of Angada had already assured of the success, he would never ever would have returned otherwise. pitrpaitāmaham caitat pūrvakair abhiraksitam, na me madhuvanam hanyād ahrstah plavageśvarah/ I am delighted to hear that what my ancestors bequeathed to us in the form of Madhuvana delighted our sena now.kausalyā suprajā rāma samāśvasihi suvrata, dṛṣṭā devī na samdeho na cānvena hanūmatā/ na hv anvah karmano hetuh sādhane tadvidho bhavet, hanūmati hi siddhiś ca matis ca matisattama/ vyavasāyaś ca vīryam ca sūrye teja iva dhruvam, jāmbavān yatra netā syād angadaś ca baleśvarah/ Uttama Vrata Paalana Shri Rama! Having given birth to a 'Yuga Purusha', how fortunate and proud should be Devi Kaushaya! Now be brave, courageous and ready for action. Nahyannah karmano hetuh saadhanesya Hanumatah, Hanumateeh siddhisch matischmatisattama/ Vyavasaayascha shouryah cha shrutam chaapi pratishthitam, jaamjbavaan yatra netaa shyaadangascha Hareeshvarah, hanumaanchaapyadhishthitaa na tatra gariranyathaa/ Raghunandana!None could have possibly performed this act of Devi Sitaanveshana excepting the unique Vaanara Shioromani Ajanaa Putra as he was born blessed this 'karya siddhi'. He is replete with pluck, initiative, industriousness, faith and above all, 'shastrajnaana'! It is simply unimaginable even think that this particular 'dakshina vaanara sena' figuring sralwarts and celebrities like Jambayaan, Yuva Raja Angada, and above all the Vayuputra could not succeed! hanūmām's cāpy adhiṣṭhātā na tasya gatir anyathā, mā bhū's cintā samāyuktaḥ sampraty amitavikrama/ tataḥ kila kilā śabdam śuśrāvāsannam ambare, hanūmat karmadṛptānām nardatām kānanaukasām,kiskindhām upayātānām siddhim kathayatām iva/ As this most enthusiastic and excited screams and victory shoutings on the sky amply declare that thanks to Hanuma's unparalleled success is very clearly being demonstrated.' As Sugriva was enlivening the joyous inner feelings of Shri Rama, Angadaadi Vanara veeras pushed Hanuman in the lead and landed on the kishkindha giri. Mahabaahu prostrated before Shri Rama and stated: Maha Prabho, Devi Sita of safe, hale and hearty physically while she is on 'pativrata's kathora niyamaas' being weak. As Hanuman assured that he had indeed succeeded Devi Sita safe, Rama Lakshmanas were indeed thrilled. As already was assuring of Hanuman's glory till now to Rama Lakshmanas, Sugriva hugged Hanuman with unbridled pride.

Sarga Sixty Five

<u>Veeraanjaneya details the actual status of Devi Sita's physical and psychological condition to Shri Rama in the presence of Lakshmana Sugrivas</u>

Tataḥ prasravaṇam śailam te gatvā citrakānanam, praṇamya śirasā rāmam lakṣmaṇam ca mahābalam/ vuvarājam puraskrtya sugrīvam abhivādya ca, pravrttam atha sītāyāh pravaktum upacakramuh/ rāvanāntahpure rodham rāksasībhis ca tarjanam, rāme samanurāgam ca yas cāpi samayah kṛtah/ etad ākhyānti te sarve harayo rāma samnidhau, vaidehīm akṣatām śrutvā rāmas tūttaram abravīt/ kva sītā vartate devī katham ca mayi vartate, etan me sarvam ākhyāta vaidehīm prati vānarāh/ rāmasya gaditam śrutva harayo rāmasamnidhau, codayanti hanūmantam sītāvṛttāntakovidam/ śrutvā tu vacanam teṣām hanūmān mārutātmajah, uvāca vākyaim vākyajňah sītāyā darśanam vathā/ samudram laṅghayityāham śatayojanam āyatam, agaccham jānakīm sītām mārgamāno didrksayā/ tatra lanketi nagarī rāyanasya durātmanaḥ, dakṣiṇasya samudrasya tīre vasati dakṣiṇe/ tatra dṛṣṭā mayā sītā rāvaṇāntaḥpure satī, samnyasya tvayi jīvantī rāmā rāma manoratham/ dṛstā me rāksasī madhye tarjyamānā muhur muhuh, rāksasībhir virūpābhī raksitā pramadāvane/ duhkham āpadyate devī tavāduhkhocitā satī, rāvanāntah pure ruddhvā rāksasībhih suraksitā/ ekavenīdharā dīnā tvayi cintāparāyanā, adhahśayyā vivarnāṅgī padminīva himāgame/ rāvaṇād vinivṛttārthā martavyakṛtaniścayā, devī katham cit kākutstha tvanmanā mārgitā mayā/ikṣvākuvaṁśavikhyātiṁ śanaiḥ kīrtayatānagha, sa mayā naraśārdūla viśvāsam upapāditā/ tatah sambhāsitā devī sarvam artham ca daršitā, rāmasugrīvasakhyam ca śrutvā prītim upāgatā/ niyatah samudācāro bhaktiś cāsyās tathā tvayi, evam mayā mahābhāgā dṛṣṭā janakanandinī, ugreņa tapasā yuktā tvadbhaktyā purusarsabha/ abhijñānam ca me dattam yathāvṛttam tavāntike, citrakūte mahāprājña vāyasam prati rāghava/ vijñāpyaś ca nara vyāghro rāmo vāyusuta tvayā, akhileneha yad drstam iti mām āha jānakī/ idam cāsmai pradātavyam yatnāt suparirakṣitam, bruvatā vacanāny evam sugrīvasyopaśṛṇ vatah/ esa cūdāmanih śrīmān mavā te vatnaraksitah, manahśilāvās tikalas tam smarasveti cābravīt/ esa

niryātitaḥ śrīmān mayā te vārisambhavaḥ, etam drṣṭvā pramodiṣye vyasane tvām ivānagha/ jīvitam dhārayiṣyāmi māsam daśarathātmaja, ūrdhvam māsān na jīveyam rakṣasām vaśam āgatā/ iti mām abravīt sītā krśāngī dharma cāriṇī, rāvaṇāntaḥpure ruddhā mrgīvotphullalocanā/ etad eva mayākhyātam sarvam rāghava yad yathā, sarvathā sāgarajale samtāraḥ pravidhīyatām/ tau jātāśvāsau rājaputrau viditvā; tac cābhijñānam rāghavāya pradāya, devyā cākhyātam sarvam evānupūrvyād; vācā sampūrṇam vāyuputraḥ śaśamsa/

As Veera Hanuman paid his respects to Rama-Lakshmana-Sugrivas and had withdrawn, Angada-Jambavan and all the Vaanara Veeras of the Dakshina- Sena assembled and conveyed the details as Hanuman himself conveyed to them in detail. They explained in the open Vaanara Sabha as presided by Rama Lakshmana Sugrivas: They conveyed as follows in the question-answer conference: 'Devi Sita was detained in the Ravana's 'antahpura', yet in a remote garden as strictly surrounded by brutal, cruel and raw flesh eating-blood sucking maha rakshais ever threatening her ready to torment her physically thus her very living was being threatened. It was stated that she was the very heart throb and pulsation of Shri Rama. The ruthless Ravanasura had prescribed a two month time limit of her life; so far however she is safe yet under extreme duress.' As the Vaanara Veeras had described her present suatus of the conditions, Rama was no doubt heaved a sigh of hope, but was not truly reflective of the fuller details. Then he desired to know further details about her darling wife. Then he asked other searching details: 'Vaanaraas! Where exactly is Sita; is she missing me; give me further details'. Then Pavana putra Anjana Putra who indeed was an eye witness rose up, greeted Rama Lakshmana Sugrivas and having specially addressed Shri Rama detailed as follows: samudram langhayitvāham śatayojanam āyatam, agaccham jānakīm sītām mārgamāņo didrkṣayā/ tatra lanketi nagarī rāvaṇasya durātmanaḥ, dakṣiṇasya samudrasya tīre vasati daksine/ tatra drstā mayā sītā rāvanāntahpure satī, samnyasya tvayi jīvantī rāmā rāma manoratham/ Prabho! Having dedicated my very heart and soul to the ambition and decisiveness of 'Devi Sita darshana', I was able to jump and cross the the hundred vojana distance of the Maha Sagara and reached its southern tip. The duratma Ravana's Lanka is situated. Shri Rama! Having entered Lanka, I saw Devi Sita in the Pramadaavana in Ravana's 'antahpura' and there inside is pramadaavana's outskirts under the Ashoka Vriksha, I had the fortune of sighting Devi Sita who was surrounded by the Rakshasis as already described, as the vikaraali rakshasis were ever shouting loud ready to beat and threatening her life. duḥkham āpadyate devī tavāduḥkhocitā satī, rāvaṇāntaḥ -pure ruddhvā rākṣasībhiḥ surakṣitā/ ekavenīdharā dīnā tvayi cintāparāyanā, adhahśayyā vivarnāngī padminīva himāgame/ rāvanād vinivrttārthā martavyakrtaniścayā, devī katham cit kākutstha tvanmanā mārgitā mayā/ Veeravara! Devi Sita was to have had a comfortable living in your exciting company but now is subjected to most unfotunate desperation for minute to minute scare of living, ever concerned drag of existence and distressed to the bottom line of helplessness. She is dressed in just one body covering with drooped head ever awaiting relief literally sunk in deep sorrow. She lies down on bare earth, withstanding the cold nights and the heat of day time, and like a sagging baggy, one would reall a dried up lotus with least help from Rayana who has numbered her days already. I saw her in such a condition that she was resolving to conclude her existence. ikṣvākuvaṁśavikhyātiṁ śanaiḥ kīrtayatānagha, sa mayā naraśārdūla viśvāsam upapāditā/ tataḥ sambhāṣitā devī sarvam artham ca darśitā, rāmasugrīvasakhyam ca śrutvā prītim upāgatā/ nivatah samudācāro bhaktiś cāsyās tathā tvayi, evam mayā mahābhāgā dṛstā janakanandinī, ugreņa tapasā yuktā tvadbhaktyā puruṣarṣabha/ Kakutstha Kula bhushana! Her inner thoughts are always anchored on you as a sinking boat. Nara shreshtha! I made such desperate efforts to locate you and having done so she might suspect of my reality as Ravana could have taken a Vaanara Swarupa. Then, I would have to make her ponder over and trust my genuineness. Then a started cooing songs of the glory of Ikshvaaku vamsha, the lineage of Maha Dasharatha- and so on merely to convince her of my genuineness. Then having started gaining confidence in bits of conversation, I had given out the detailed information gradually about Rama Sugriva Maitri, the efforts of Devi Sitaanveshana and my locating you here and so on. She was happy to learn the details. Maha Bhaaga! Purushottama! In this manner having seen and conversed with her I had truthfully believed and realised, I have realised that why and how her unshakable, steadfast devotion and dedication to you as the roots, branches and fruits of incomparable

Paativratya Maha Vriksha! abhijñānam ca me dattam yathāvrttam tavāntike, citrakūte mahāprājña vāyasam prati rāghava/ vijñāpyaś ca nara vyāghro rāmo vāyusuta tvayā, akhileneha yad drstam iti mām āha jānakī/ idam cāsmai pradātavyam yatnāt supariraksitam, bruvatā vacanāny evam sugrīvasyopasṛņ vatah/Raghunanada! Devi Sita confided in me and narrated the incident as you were comfortably relaxing and resting on your lap at Chitrakoota, as to how she had never even moved to disturb you despite a crow made blood flowing pricks and cuts all over her face, hands, legs and even breasts, when Rama realise the blood streams, woke up stunned with rage made brahmaastra prayoga on the crow, which actually was Indra putra. The impact of the astra made the crow running all over to trilokas and finally fell at you feet for refuge. As a result, the impact of the brahmastra made blindness of the race of crows in their left eyes! Having narrated the incident thus, Devi Sita gave me to hand over to her invaluble 'choodaamani' of pearl-studded hair clip as he had gifted to her to recall the sweet memories of her life! She then entreated Hanuman to kindly convey her parting appeal to her dearest husband: 'Vayu nandana! You have indeed seen by my present condition yourself; kindly ask Shri Rama to reach here soonest and bring my hair clip too!esa cūdāmanih śrīmān mayā te yatnaraksitah, manahśilāyās tikalas tam smarasyeti cābravīt/ esa nirvātitah śrīmān mavā te vārisambhavah, etam drstvā pramodisve vvasane tvām ivānagha/ jīvitam dhārayişyāmi māsam daśarathātmaja, ūrdhvam māsān na jīveyam rakṣasām vaśam āgatā/iti mām abravīt sītā kṛśāngī dharma cāriṇī, rāvaṇāntaḥpure ruddhā mṛgīvotphullalocanā/ Prabho! As Devi thus handed the Choodamani, she suggested that this unique pearl studded golden Ratna safe to be handed over by you to your beloved, do kindly convey to Shri Ranma that during all her days of helplessness, she was looking at it during her days of desperation and distress. Hanuman, please convey to Rama that she could bear this condition for a month more only. Any further, she would have to surrender to Almighty! etad eva mayākhyātam sarvam rāghava yad yathā, sarvathā sāgarajale samtārah pravidhīyatām/tau jātāśvāsau rājaputrau viditvā; tac cābhijñānam rāghavāya pradāya, devyā cākhyātam sarvam evānupūrvyād; vācā sampūrnam vāyuputrah śaśamsa/ Thus concluded Veera Hanuman finally stating: Raghunandana! This was the substance of my Devi Sita's darshana; now you may kindly initiate the manner and methodology of crosing Samudra now. I hope I have thus truthfully conveyed Devi Sita's message to Shri Rama and to Sugriva Lakshmanaas too!

Sarga Sixty Six

Reacting to Hanumam's handing over Devi Sita's 'choodaamani' to him, Rama got worked up with his memories of her and showed his anxiety to hear what was her message to him.

Evam ukto hanumatā rāmo daśarathātmajaḥ, tam maṇim hṛdaye kṛtvā praruroda salakṣmaṇaḥ/ tam tu dṛṣṭvā maṇiśreṣṭham rāghavaḥ śokakarśitaḥ, netrābhyām aśrupūrṇābhyām sugrīvam idam abravīt/ haiva dhenuḥ sravati snehād vatsasya vatsalā, tathā mamāpi hṛdayam maṇiratnasya darśanāt/ maṇiratnam idam dattam vaidehyāḥ śvaśureṇa me, vadhūkāle yathā baddham adhikam mūrdhni śobhate/ ayam hi jalasambhūto maṇiḥ pravarapūjitaḥ, yajñe paramatuṣṭena dattaḥ śakreṇa dhīmatā/ imam dṛṣṭvā maṇiśreṣṭham tathā tātasya darśanam, adyāsmy avagataḥ saumya vaidehasya tathā vibhoḥ/ ayam hi śobhate tasyāḥ priyāyā mūrdhni me maṇiḥ, adyāsya darśanenāham prāptām tām iva cintaye/ kim āha sītā vaidehī brūhi saumya punaḥ punaḥ, parāsum iva toyena siñcantī vākyavāriṇā/ itas tu kim duḥkhataram yad imam vārisambhavam, maṇim paśyāmi saumitre vaidehīm āgatam vinā/ ciram jīvati vaidehī yadi māsam dhariṣyati, kṣaṇam saumya na jīveyam vinā tām asitekṣaṇām/ naya mām api tam deśam yatra dṛṣṭā mama priyā, na tiṣṭheyam kṣaṇam api pravṛttim upalabhya ca/ katham sā mama suśroṇi bhīru bhīruḥ satī tadā, bhayāvahānām ghorāṇām madhye tiṣṭhati rakṣasām/śāradas timironmukho nūnam candra ivāmbudaiḥ, āvṛtam vadanam tasyā na virājati rākṣasaiḥ/ kim āha sītā hanumams tattvataḥ kathayasva me, etena khalu jīviṣye bheṣajenāturo yathā/ madhurā madhurālāpā kim āha mama bhāminī, madvihīnā varārohā hanuman kathayasva me, duhkhād duḥkhataram prāpya katham jīvati jānakī/

As Veera Hanuman handed over Devi Sita's 'choodaamani' to Shri Rama, Raghunandana drew it to his chest and broke down crying and so did Lakshmana too. As a cow endears its calf with love, its udders

drop down flows of its milk, and the brothers too cried off queitly. Shri Rama recalled that at the time of Devi Sita's wedding the most invaluable choodaamani was gifted to the bride. This priceless pearl was from deep waters and his father in law gifted it to her as Indra gifted it to Janaka Maha Raja at a Maha Yagina was performed. Indeed this instantly takes me back to my days of youthful life recalling my ever cherishable memories of my father and father in law and of my wedding with sowbhagyavati Videha Rjakumari. Soumya Pavana Kumara, I full elated as if a person a swooned down with unconsciousness is sought to be normalised by sprinking water on his face and body as a first aid and your bringing me back this memory reminder of my comfort in her company!' As Shri Rama thanked Hanuman, Rama addressed Laksmana: 'Sumitra nandana! Even Devi Sita is not present here physically, this pure pearl jewel choodamani ever shining and worn on her head futher steps up my anguish, is it not so!' Then Rama addresses Hanuman: 'Veera Pavana Kumara! I am truly appreciative of the care and devotion with which you have brought this priceless memory reviver! Believe me, I am unable to live even for a second more! naya mām api tam deśam yatra dṛṣṭā mama priyā, na tiṣṭheyam kṣaṇam api pravṛṭṭim upalabhya ca/ katham sā mama suśroni bhīru bhīruh satī tadā, bhayāyahānām ghorānām madhye tisthati raksasām/śāradas timironmukho nūnam candra ivāmbudaih, āvrtam vadanam tasvā na virājati rākṣasaih/ You have seen Devi Sita yourself; kindly to take me too to see her at once as I am unble to wait any further. Hai! My Sati Saadhvi Sumadhyamaa Sita is basically timid and innocent, how much that she could be suffering with the cruel Rakahasa-rakshasis! Certainly, she must be like of moon shine overshadowed by black clouds, kim āha sītā hanumams tattvatah kathavasva me, etena khalu iīvisve bheşajenāturo yathā/ madhurā madhurālāpā kim āha mama bhāminī, madvihīnā varārohā hanuman kathayasya me, duhkhād duhkhataram prāpya katham jīvati jānakī/Hanuman, please tell me precisely what she wanted me to be conveyed! I should be able hold my life after hearing what she asked you to convey to me. Surely then on hearing what she wanted you to tell me as that should hold myself for revival!

Sargas Sixty Seven and Sixty Eight

<u>Veera Vayu Putra detailed Devi Sita's actual status of the extremely distressed and her frantic and parting appeal to Rama Lakshmanas still concerned of their most urgent action to save her very life!</u>

Evam uktas tu hanumān rāghavena mahātmanā, sītāyā bhāsitam sarvam nyavedayata rāghave/ idam uktavatī devī jānakī purusarsabha, pūrvavrttam abhijñānam citrakūte vathā tatham/ sukhasuptā tvayā sārdham jānakī pūrvam utthitā, vāyasah sahasotpatya virarāda stanāntare/ paryāyena ca suptas tvam devyanke bharatāgraja, punas ca kila paksī sa devyā janayati vyathām/ tatah punar upāgamya virarāda bhṛśam kila, tatas tvam bodhitas tasyāḥ śonitena samukṣitaḥ/ vāyasena ca tenaiva satatam bādhyamānayā, bodhitaḥ kila devyās tvam sukhasuptaḥ paramtapa/ tām tu drstvā mahābāho rāditām ca stanāntare, āśīviṣa iva kruddho niḥśvasann abhyabhāṣathāḥ/ nakhāgraiḥ kena te bhīru dāritam tu stanāntaram, kah krīdati sarosena pañcavaktrena bhoginā/ nirīksamānah sahasā vāvasam samayaiksatāh, nakhaih sarudhirais tīksnair mām evābhimukham sthitam/ sutah kila sa śakrasva vāyasah patatām varaḥ, dharāntaracaraḥ śīghram pavanasya gatau samaḥ/ tatas tasmin mahābāho kopasamvartiteksanah, vāvase tvam krtvāh krūrām matim matimatām vara/ sa darbham samstarād grhva brahmāstrena nyayojayah, sa dīpta iva kālāgnir jajvālābhimukhah khagam/ sa tvam pradīptam ciksepa darbham tam vāyasam prati, tatas tu vāyasam dīptah sa darbho 'nujagāma ha/ sa pitrā ca parityaktah suraiḥ sarvair maharṣibhiḥ, trīml lokān samparikramya trātāram nādhigacchati/ tam tvam nipatitam bhūmau śaranyah śaranāgatam, vadhārham api kākutstha kṛpayā paripālayah/ mogham astram na śakyam tu kartum ity eva rāghava, tatas tasyākṣikākasya hinasti sma sa dakṣiṇam/ rāma tvām sa namaskṛtvā rājño daśarathasya ca, viṣṛṣṭas tu tadā kākaḥ pratipede kham ālayam/ evam astravidām śresthah sattvavāñ śīlavān api, kimartham astram raksahsu na vojavasi rāghava/ na nāgā nāpi gandharvā nāsurā na marudganāh, tava rāma mukhe sthātum śaktāh pratisamādhitum/ tava vīryavatah kaccin mayi yady asti sambhramah, kşipram sunisitair bānair hanyatām yudhi rāvaṇaḥ/ bhrātur ādeśam ādāya laksmano vā paramtapah, sa kimartham naravaro na mām raksati rāghayah/ śaktau tau

purusavyāghrau vāyvagnisamatejasau, surānām api durdharsau kimartham mām upeksatah/ mamaiva duskrtam kim cin mahad asti na samsayah, samarthau sahitau yan mām nāpeksete paramtapau/ vaidehyā vacanam śrutvā karuṇam sāśrubhāṣitam, punar apy aham āryām tām idam vacanam abruvam/ tvacchokavimukho rāmo devi satyena te śape, rāme duḥkhābhibhūte ca lakṣmaṇaḥ paritapyate/ katham cid bhayatī drstā na kālah pariśocitum, imam muhūrtam duhkhānām antam draksyasi bhāmini/ tāy ubhau naraśārdūlau rājaputrāv arimdamau, tvaddarśanakrtotsāhau lankām bhasmīkariṣyatah/ hatvā ca samare raudram rāvaṇam saha bāndhavam, rāghavas tvām mahābāhuh svām purīm nayate dhruvam/ yat tu rāmo vijānīyād abhijñānam anindite, prītisamjananam tasya pradātum tattvam arhasi/sābhivīkṣya diśaḥ sarvā venyudgrathanam uttamam, muktvā vastrād dadau mahyam manim etam mahābala/ pratigrhya maṇim divyam tava heto raghūttama, śirasā sampraṇamyainām aham āgamane tvare/ gamane ca kṛtotsāham avekṣya varavarninī, vivardhamānam ca hi mām uvāca janakātmajā, aśrupūrnamukhī dīnā bāspasamdigdhabhāsinī/ hanuman simhasamkāśau tāv ubhau rāmalaksmanau, sugrīvam ca sahāmātyam sarvān brūyā anāmayam/ yathā ca sa mahābāhur mām tārayati rāghavaḥ/ asmād duḥkhāmbusamrodhāt tat samādhātum arhasi, imam ca tīvram mama śokavegam; raksobhir ebhih paribhartsanam ca/brūyās tu rāmasya gatah samīpam; śivaś ca te 'dhvāstu haripravīra/ etat tavāryā nrparājasimha; sītā vacah prāha viṣādapūrvam, etac ca buddhvā gaditam mayā tvam; śraddhatsva sītām kuśalām samagrām/

Then Hanuman initiated his address to Shri Rama quoting what all she said: 'Purushottama! I explained to Hanuman all the happenings eversince our arrival at chitrakoota. 'During our memorable stay there, you were comfortably resting on my lap as I too was sleeping. Then a crow staterd hurting my face and so on as though a five hooded serpent would. Then Rama realised that there was blood tricking from my body and got enraged. It was then learnt that the crow was acually Indra's son. As Kaakasura continued to harass me you had decided to punish the bird fittingly. You may recall thar you pulled out a straw from the mattress omn which we were resting and had done the 'jalaaabhimantra' of brahmaastra and hit the crow. Then the fiery 'kusha'chased and even all the Devas avoided saving the crow. The brahmastra chased it all over the trilokas but none could dare to save it. Finally the crow fell at your feet. Having been a famed 'sharanaagata paramatma', you pardoned no doubt but- mogham astrain na śakyain tu kartum ity eva rāghava, tatas tasvāksikākasva hinasti sma sa daksinam/ rāma tvām sa namaskrtvā rājño daśarathasya ca, visrstas tu tadā kākah pratipede kham ālayam/Raghunandana! Since the impact of brahmastra would be such as definitely to impact and as such pierced the right eye. Then Devi Sita addressing Shri Rama stated: evam astravidām śresthah sattvavāñ śīlavān api, kimartham astram raksahsu na yojayasi rāghaya/ na nāgā nāpi gandharvā nāsurā na marudganāh, tava rāma mukhe sthātum śaktāh pratisamādhitum/ tava vīryavatah kaccin mayi yady asti sambhramah, ksipram suniśitair bānair hanyatām yudhi rāvanah/ 'Raghunandana! Being such an 'astravetta-shaktishaali-sheelavaan' why are you not displaying for 'rakshasa samhaara'! Shri Rama! Even daanava-gandharva-asura-devataas too could not encounter you! Being equipped likewise, if you do have any consideration and concern for me, come over fast and destroy and uproot Ravana and followers! 'Hanuma! Atleast Rama could instruct Lakshmana and save me! Both the illustrious brothers are invincible and even devatas would not be able to counter them'. tvacchokavimukho rāmo devi satvena te śape, rāme duhkhābhibhūte ca laksmanah paritapyate/katham cid bhavatī dṛṣṭā na kālaḥ pariśocitum, imam muhūrtam duḥkhānām antam draksyasi bhāmini/ tāv ubhau naraśārdūlau rājaputrāv arimdamau, tvaddarśanakrtotsāhau lankām bhasmīkarisyatah/ As Devi Vaidehi stated in extreme anguish and desperation, Hanuman assured her stating that he would emphasise and swear as a 'satya pramaana' that Shri Rama Lakshmanas would arrive here soonest; then both the brothers were in tears. Then Hanuman said: Devi! I am fortunate to get your darsha some how both the unparalleled heros should reach and provide you instant relief to you. yat tu rāmo vijānīyād abhijñānam anindite, prītisamjananam tasya pradātum tattvam arhasi/sābhivīkṣya diśaḥ sarvā veṇyudgrathanam uttamam, muktvā vastrād dadau mahyam maṇim etam mahābala/ pratigrhya manim divyam tava heto raghūttama, śirasā sampranamyainām aham āgamane tvare/Sati saadhvi! Do kindly give me such a proof to Rama Lakshmanas to get convinced of your 'divya darshana' and in ready response she imparted to me this 'mani' as a proof as folded in her waist in her 'eka vastra' as her dishevelled hair was not worthy of wearing it on her head hairs. As she handed to me thus, I placed it on my head respectfully and assoired her that it would be my privelege to carry it to hand it over to Shri Rama as Lakashmana too wiuld be present. In fact, I made an offer to get her on to my back and cited the example of my carrying Rama Lakshnanas n my shoulders to reach Sugriva up the mountain. She responded saying that is is not a principle of dharma although the sinful Ravana did so and kept on his laps as he kidnapped me when I was helpless. Further how about the glory of Rama as he himself should personally vindicate and protect me from this muddle as of now! Thus explained Hanuman the actual situation of the highly worked up Devi Sita in brief yet speaking volumes of her ongoing harassment and anxiety. Further, Devi Sita asked Hanuman to convince Rama Lakshmanas to instantly jump into action ad reach at Lanka along wih Vanara King Sugriva, his Ministers and his maha sena. etat tavāryā nṛparājasimha; sītā vacaḥ prāha viṣādapūrvam, etac ca buddhvā gaditam mayā tvam; śraddhatsva sītām kuśalām samagrām/ Nareswara! Your beloved Sita Devi is aggrieved and really shaken up mentally as also exremely weak physically no doubt, but believe me she is safe and 'sakushal!

Sarga Sixty Eight continued:

Athāham uttaram devyā punar uktaḥ sasambhramam, tava snehān naravyāghra sauhāryād anumānya ca/ evam bahuvidham vācyo rāmo dāśarathis tvayā, yathā mām āpnuyāc chīghram hatvā rāvaṇam āhave/ vadi vā manyase vīra vasaikāham arimdama, kasmims cit samvrte dese visrāntah svo gamisyasi/ mama cāpy alpabhāgyāyāh sāmnidhyāt tava vānara, asya śokavipākasya muhūrtam syād vimoksanam/ gate hi tvayi vikrānte punarāgamanāya vai, prānānām api samdeho mama syān nātra samśayah/tavādarśanajah śoko bhūyo mām paritāpayet, duḥkhād duḥkhaparābhūtām durgatām duḥkhabhāginīm/ ayam tu vīrasamdehas tisthatīva mamāgratah, sumahāms tvatsahāyeşu haryrkşeşu asamsayah/ katham nu khalu duspāram tarisyanti mahodadhim, tāni haryrksasainyāni tau vā naravarātmajau/ trayānām eva bhūtānām sāgarasyāsya langhane, śaktih syād vainateyasya vāyor vā tava vānagha/ tad asmin kāryaniyoge vīraivam duratikrame, kim paśyasi samādhānam brūhi kāryavidām vara/ kāmam asya tvam evaikah kāryasya parisādhane, paryāptah paravīraghna yaśasyas te balodayah/ balaih samagrair yadi mām hatvā rāvaṇam āhave, vijayī svām purīm rāmo nayet tat syād yaśaskaram/ yathāham tasya vīrasya vanād upadhinā hrtā, raksasā tad bhavād eva tathā nārhati rāghavah/ balais tu samkulām krtvā lankām parabalārdanah, mām naved vadi kākutsthas tat tasva sadrsam bhavet/ tad vathā tasva vikrāntam anurūpam mahātmanah, bhavaty āhavaśūrasya tathā tvam upapādaya/ tad arthopahitam vākyam praśritam hetusamhitam, niśamyāham tatah śesam vākyam uttaram abruvam/devi haryrksasainyānām īśvarah plavatām varah, sugrīvah sattvasampannas tavārthe krtaniścayah/ tasya vikramasampannāh sattvavanto mahābalāh, manahsamkalpasampātā nideśe harayah sthitāh/ yesām nopari nādhastān na tiryak sajjate gatih, na ca karmasu sīdanti mahatsv amitatejasah/ asakṛt tair mahābhāgair vānarair balasamyutaih, pradakṣiṇīkṛtā bhūmir vāyumārgānusāribhih/ madviśiṣṭāś ca tulyāś ca santi tatra vanaukasah, mattah pratyavarah kaś cin nāsti sugrīvasamnidhau/ aham tāvad iha prāptah kim punas te mahābalāh, na hi prakṛṣṭāḥ preṣyante preṣyante hītare janāḥ/ tad alam paritāpena devi manyur vyapaitu te, ekotpātena te lankām esvanti harivūthapāh/ mama prsthagatau tau ca candrasūrvāv ivoditau, tvatsakāśam mahābhāge nrsimhāv āgamisvatah/ arighnam simhasamkāśam ksipram draksvasi rāghavam, lakṣmaṇam ca dhanuṣpāṇim lankā dvāram upasthitam/ nakhadamṣṭrāyudhān vīrān simhaśārdūlavikramān, vānarān vānarendrābhān ksipram draksyasi samgatān/ śailāmbudan nikāśānām lankāmalayasānusu, nardatām kapimukhyānām acirāc chosyase svanam/ nivṛttavanavāsam ca tvayā sārdham arimdamam, abhisiktam ayodhyāyām ksipram draksyasi rāghavam/ tato mayā vāgbhir adīnabhāṣiṇī; śivābhir iṣṭābhir abhiprasāditā, jagāma śāntim mama maithilātmajā; tavāpi śokena tathābhipīditā/

As Veera Hanuman having stated the message that Devi Sita desired him to detail, Devi Sita then further asked me thus: evam bahuvidham vācyo rāmo dāśarathis tvayā, yathā mām āpnuyāc chīghram hatvā rāvaṇam āhave/ yadi vā manyase vīra vasaikāham arimdama, kasmimś cit samvrte deśe viśrāntaḥ śvo gamiṣyasi/ mama cāpy alpabhāgyāyāḥ sāmnidhyāt tava vānara, asya śokavipākasya muhūrtam syād

vimoksanam/ gate hi tvayi vikrānte punarāgamanāya vai, prānānām api samdeho mama syān nātra samśayah/ Pavana Kumara! Do kindly reiterate and re-emphasize drilling in to my dear husband's ears repeatedly, so that he showed be hardpressed to save me from the grip of Ravana! Veera, you must rest for a while in a secret and safe corner of Lanka as you do look worn out and fatigued, and resume your return early tomorrow. Vaanara Veera, my hopes of relief of this 'mandabhaagini' Sita. Now as you are leaving me, my concern for your safe return would be my yet another great conern and anxiety! tavādarśanajah śoko bhūyo mām paritāpayet, duhkhād duhkhaparābhūtām durgatām duḥkhabhāginīm/ ayam tu vīrasamdehas tisthatīva mamāgratah, sumahāms tvatsahāyesu harvṛksesu asamśayah/ katham nu khalu duspāram tarisvanti mahodadhim, tāni harvrksasainvāni tau vā naravarātmajau/travānām eva bhūtānām sāgarasyāsya langhane, śaktiḥ syād vainateyasya vāyor vā tava vānagha/ If I were never have thus reached me, and revived me in this way, would surely add to my further worry as I am not equipped now with basic energy for any further acceptance as the limits of tolerance were long crossed over! Veera! Once my mental torture gets well learnt only that Rama Lakshmana Sugrivas could get hastened to plan the methodology of crossing the Maha Sumudra and arrive here with the Vanara sena as you have intimated of their abilities!tad asmin kārvaniyoge vīraiyam duratikrame, kim pasvasi samādhānam brūhi kāryavidām vara/ kāmam asya tvam evaikaḥ kāryasya parisādhane, paryāptaḥ paravīraghna yaśasyas te balodayah/ balaih samagrair yadi mām hatvā rāvaṇam āhave, vijayī svām purīm rāmo nayet tat syād vaśaskaram/yathāham tasya vīrasya vanād upadhinā hrtā, raksasā tad bhayād eva tathā nārhati rāghavah/ Veera! Do seriously apply your sharp mind to find a possible solution to this most difficult task of crossing the ocean and seek the 'karya siddhi upaaya' and reply. Kapishreshtha! No doubt you may not be able to this kind of group task alone as what all you could do all by yourself which is praise worthy indeed. balais tu samkulām kṛtvā lankām parabalārdanah, mām nayed yadi kākutsthas tat tasya sadṛśam bhavet/ tad yathā tasya vikrāntam anurūpam mahātmanah, bhavaty āhavaśūrasya tathā tvam upapādaya/ tad arthopahitam vākyam praśritam hetusamhitam, niśamyāham tatah śesam vākyam uttaram abruvam/ If only Shri Rama is enabled to arrive here with the full backing of the Vaanara sena and uproot Ravana and the rakshasaas down right to release me then only his individual abilities could be displayed far easier. Any way do apply and wake up your enormous thinking capabilities for the success'. devi haryrksasainyānām īśvarah plavatām varah, sugrīvah sattvasampannas tavārthe kṛtaniścayah/ tasya vikramasampannāh sattvavanto mahābalāh, manahsamkalpasampātā nideše haravah sthitāh/ vesām nopari nādhastān na tiryak sajjate gatiḥ, na ca karmasu sīdanti mahatsv amitatejasaḥ/As Devi Sita thus mused of the possible pattern of enabling Shri Rama with 'samuuha shakti' or collective energy to supplement Shri Rama Lakshmanas of their own bravery and well proven glory and peerless bravery, Veera Hanuman on thinking of her critial analysis, Hanuman reacted explaining her as follows: Devi! My King Sugriva is equipped with innumerable 'Vaanara Bhalluka Maha Sena' with unusual planning, executing capability and determination to have you released, quite apart from the well reputed heroism of Shri Rama Lakshmanas as a solid supplementary. The enormous paraakrami-shakti shaali, maha bali Vaanara yoddhhas' are ready to dash and dare, under Sugriva's discipline. The vaanaras are so disciplined that straight minded never to look up or down, or hithrer-whither, and are totally dedicated to 'Swami Karya'. They have already proven their grit and in their regulated obedience and control in Devi Sitanveshana within a fixed time frame of one month to return and report back. asakrt tair mahābhāgair vānarair balasamyutaiḥ, pradakṣiṇīkṛtā bhūmir vāyumārgānusāribhiḥ/ madviśiṣṭāś ca tulyāś ca santi tatra vanaukasah, mattah pratyavarah kaś cin nāsti sugrīvasamnidhau/ aham tāvad iha prāptah kim punas te mahābalāh, na hi prakṛstāh presyante presyante hītare janāh/Among the stalwart Maha Vaaara B Yuva Raja Angada then asked the Maha Vaanara Veeras by turn and named them as Gaja-GavaakshaGavaya-Sharabha-Gandhamaadana- Mainda- Dvivida - Sushena-and Jambavan. The replies were as follows: Maha Vanara Gaja said that he could jump off by ten yojanas- Gavaksha could cover twenty yojanas-Sharabha confirmed thirty yojanas-Rishabha assured forty yojanas-Gandhamaadana would cover fifty yojanas comfortably- Mainda quoted sixty with enthusiasm- Dvipada by seventy yojanas- and Sushena the dare devil upto eighty yojanas. Then Jambavan stated that in his youthful days and years he no doubt could have crossed the distance from hear to the other shore, but now his present ability would now be restricted to some ninety vojanas but might not be more.hallukas there are very many Vaanara yoddhas who could fly high on the sky for several yojanas; even in the 'dhakshina vaanaras sena itself, under the Vanara Yuva Raja Angada. [Yuva Raja Angada tasked the Maha Vaanara Veeras by turn and named them as Gaja-Gavaaksha-Gavaya-Sharabha-Gandhamaadana- Mainda- Dvivida - Sushena-and Jambavan. The replies were as follows: Maha Vanara Gaja said that he could jump off by ten yojanas-Gavaksha could cover twenty yojanas-Sharabha confirmed thirty yojanas-Rishabha assured forty yojanas-Gandhamaadana would cover fifty yojanas comfortably- Mainda quoted sixty with enthusiasm-Dvipada by seventy yojanas- and Sushena the dare devil upto eighty yojanas. Then Jambavan stated that in his youthful days and years he no doubt could have crossed the distance from hear to the other shore, but now his present ability would now be restricted to some ninety yojanas but might not be more.] Thus, there are countless such Maha Vanara Yoddhaas far superiot to me under Sugriva. Devi Sita! There are superior Vaanara Veeras far better than me and surely Sugriva has better Vaanaras than me, undoubtedly. As even I had succeeded in this duty, you may be aware that only the lower ranking Vanaras are normally commising as messengers.tad alam paritāpena devi manyur vyapaitu te, ekotpātena te lankām esyanti hariyūthapāh/ mama prsthagatau tau ca candrasūryāv ivoditau, tvatsakāśam mahābhāge nṛsimhāv āgamişyatah/ arighnam simhasamkāśam kṣipram drakṣyasi rāghavam, lakṣmaṇam ca dhanuṣpāṇim lankā dvāram upasthitam/ Therefore, there ought to be even any remote doubt, for Mahatmas Shri Rama Lakshmana and King Sugrivas to reach Lanka to uproot Ravanaadi Rakshasas, have you released of your sufferings, but of the most auspicious Shri Rama Samyoga at the soonest possible time. Maha Bhaaga! Purusha Simhas Shri Rama Lakshmanas like the Udayaachala Surya Chandras, seated on my shoulders should very soon arrive your presence. The Maha Purusha Simhas along with their invincible 'dhanur baanaas' should soon be here right at the Lanka pura Dwaara shortly and almost presently. nakhadamstrāvudhān vīrān simhaśārdūlavikramān, vānarān vānarendrābhān ksipram draksvasi samgatān/ tato mayā vāgbhir adīnabhāṣiṇī; śivābhir iṣṭābhir abhiprasāditā, jagāma śāntim mama maithilātmajā; tavāpi śokena tathābhipīditā/Devi Janaka Raja Putri! Paraakrama Vaanara Simhas with iron like 'nakha damshtras' of elephant like sizes would very soon follow Rama Lakshmanas, making 'simhanaadaas'. As Mithileshwara Kumari is as of now shaken up with deepest depths grief and shattered physical weakness, Narotthama Shri Rama! I had sought to console and reassure her repeatedly with the soonest usherings of auspiciousness!

ESSENCE OF VALMIKI YUDDHA RAMAYANA

Translated and interpreted by V.D.N.Rao, Chennai

PREFACE

'Those who devotedly perform the 'pathana-shravana-nidhidhyaasas' of this Adi Kavya of Maharshi Valmiki are assured of contentment of life and of 'vamsha paaramparya' asserts the <u>Phala Shruti</u> of the series of Valmiki Ramayana with this climacic Yuddha Khanda . From Ayodhya to Ayodhya the six memorable Sugarcane Khandas of Baala-Ayodhya-Aranya-Kishkindha- Sundara- Yuddhas were the Maharshi's grant as the everlasting gift to the posterity with the fulfillment of 'chaturvidha dharma - artha-kaama moksha purushardhas'.

Yuddha Khanda details that the Vanara Sena of Sugriva-Anjaneya-Angada-Jambavan-Neela-Nala-Sushena-Kesari-Swetas- made possibe the ever memorable Setu Bandhana- Ravana was alerted and even agitated, despatched Shardula-Shuka Saraanaadi 'goodhacharis' to assess the Vaanara Veeras of crores in number, who were of undaunted intrepidity, besides dovoted commitment to Shri Rama. Earnest appeals were made to Ravana, especialy by the 'mantri mandali', Vibhishana and even Kumbhakara to release Devi Sita handing over to Shri Rama but his 'vinaasha kaale vipareeta buddhi' never allowed, as Vibhishana took refuge unto Rama. Rayana was over shadowed by his arrogant and self-image of 'my way or no way'. Abhichara mantra-homa vetta' Indrajit was of proactive villany availing of 'antardhaana vidya pragalbha' subjecting Rama Lakshmanas to humiliation, while Lakshmana was a soft target again and again. The magical effects of Maya pradarshanas of Rama Sita 'shirah khanda' images wer repeated. In the Maha Sangrama, countless 'apaara vaanara sena' was sacrificed and so were Maha Rakshasaas. Kumbhakarana was devastated, nishachara Prahasta was destroyed while Veera Hanuman did the deed of Dhumraaksha's doom. Rakshasas Sushena and Vidyunmaalis were sent to graves by Lakshmana who also had the fame of Indrajit samhaara. Angada the Yuvaraja Vaali putra did the feat of throwing Vikata Rakshas to their fate besides the 'bhayankaraakaara Virupaksha-Mahapaashva-Mahodara Rakshasa Yoddhas. Akampana was yet another 'balavan rakshasa' who was despatched to the 'mrtityu ghaata', apart from Trishira-Mahakaaya-Devaantaka- Naraantakas too. The 'Yuddhonmatta' rakshasas of Kumbha Nikumbhas, Kumbhakarna putras ,too had their 'mrityu phala'. Vajradamshtra and Damshtra besides countless rakshasaas too were felled down on, as so were Makaraksha, Akampana, Shonikaaksha, Yupaaksha, Prajangha, Vidyujjihva, Yagjnashatru and Suptaghna. Finally Shri Rama doomed the 'loka kantaka' Ravana by 'Brahmaastra Prahara' blessed my Agastya Mahrshi. Indraadi Devas and all the celestial Beings blessed Rama. Indra Deva revived the lives of the dead vaanaras. But, Devi Sita's 'agnipariksha' followed, as Agni himself asserted her 'pativratya' and purity. Kubera's Pushpaka Vimana facilitated Ayodhaagamana and 'Shri Rama Pattaabhisheka' followed; Rama Rajya prevailed as never before or ever thereafter. Those were the highlights of Valmiki Yuddha Ramayana with the effectiveness of its 'pathana-shravana-manana!'

As per HH Vijayendra Saraswaiti's benign directive, Six Khandas of Valmiki Ramayana were translated into English with numerous visleshanas as per my squirrel like abilty of 'setu bandhana' with devotion and commitment for the interested readers. May he bless me and family members to accept this dedication at his feet.

VDN Rao

Chennai

CONTENTS

Introdution and Retrospective

Sarga One: As Shri Rama heard Hanuman's Report of Devi Sita's darshana, her desperation, killings of rakshasa veeras and Lanka dahana, he hugged at the success and got concerned of reaching Lanka for action.

Sarga Two: As Shri Rama was since concerned as to how to cross the Samudra to reach Lanka and meet Devi Sita by devastating Ravana, Sugriva assuages Rama's concern and assures 'setu bandhana' **Sarga Three:** Veera Hanuman provides the full account of Lanka's impregnability, statistics

of gates, inbuilt locational advantages and so on, yet emphasing the attacking abilities of vanara sena too.

Sarga Four: Rama Lakshmana Sugrivas followed by Maha Vanara Sena advances to the shores of Maha Samudra with confidence to initiate the massive task of 'Setu Bandhana'

[Vishleshana on Surya- Chandra-Shukraadi Grahas-Sapta Rishi Mandala- Dhruvas] [Vishleshana on Tarakasura Samhara by Skanda Deva]

Sarga Five: As Neela- Mainda- Dvivida Veeras made arrangements of night long rest and safety safety to vaanara sena, Shri Rama confided his feelings especially in view of Ravana's ultimatum of time limit to Devi Sita

Sarga Six: King Ravanasura convened an emergency conference with his Ministers as the vanara Sena had reached the Sea shores with Rama in the lead

Sarga Seven: As Ravanasura expressed his concern, his Ministers replied that a King of his stature and triloka -fame need not get worried especially when vaanaras and humans attack and Indrajit alone could smother them.

Sarga Eight: Ravanasura was assured by Mahaasura Veeras like Prahasta-Durmukha-Vajradamshtra-Nikumbha and Vajradamshtra to demolish the Vanara-Manushyas if attacked **Sarga Nine:** As Rakasha Veeras assured Ravana of assurances with bravado unminded

of enemy strength, Vibhishana requests him to respectfully return Devi Sita safe to Rama and save Lanka's glory and of generations. [Vishleshana on Tapatrayas]

Sarga Ten: As Vibhishana approached Ravana again in the latter's Rajamahal, he narrated 'ashubhas' in Lankapuri after Sita's entry, but Ravana was firm not to release her as Rama and Indra even would fail to do so!

Sargas Eleven and Twelve: Ravana convens a Public Sabha after tightening secutity, declares intense feelings for Sita- Kumbhakarna since woken up regrets Ravana's love affair yet challenges Rama's attacks all by himself -

[Vishleshana on Kumbhakarna- origin, monstrous physique and Brahma Varas- bravery and basic virtues] **Sarga Thirteen:** As Rakshasa Mahapaarshva encourages Ravana to force Sita to bed, having kidnapped her anyway, Ravana recalls Brahma 's curse to him never to force an unwilling woman to bed, especially after kidnapping

Sarga Fourteen: Vibhishana appeals Ravana to release Devi Sita, praising Rama and his valour - Prahasta heckles Vibhishana- as the latter retorts that neither Ravana with 'vyasnaas' nor his followers could match Rama; [Vishleshana on Sapta Vyasanas of Kings]

Sargas Fifteen and Sixteen: Indrajit makes fun of Vibhishana- the latter retorts of immaturity of a youth- depite consitent appeals to release Sita, Ravana refuses finally- out of desperation Vibhishana leaves Lanka off for good!

Sarga Seventeen: As Vibhishana seeking asylum from Shri Rama, raises doubts of Vanara Veeras like Surgiva, Angada and so on, Hanuman felt yet that it was genuine for apparent reasons and asks for Rama's instructions.

Sarga Eighteen: Shri Rama being a 'sharanaagama rakshaka' replies to Sugriva ,but Veera Anjana Putra, and asks the Vanara King to allow his darshan

[Brief Visleshana on Shibi Chakravarti and how Indra and Agni Deva tested his spirit of self sacrifice]

Sarga Nineteen:Following in-house deliberation by select Vanara Veeras about Vibhishana's Vibhishana's protection, Shri Rama, a 'sharanaagata rakshaka', finally consents and even assures Kingship after Ravana's imminent death. [Vishleshana on Ashta Dikpaalakas}

Sargas Twenty and Twenty One: a) Ravana's spy Shardula informed of the arrival of Maha Maha Vanara Sena at the Samudra teera, Ravana asked Shuka as parrot to Sugriva and try 'bhedopaaya'who wished to kill him but for Rama! b) Rama invoked Samudra Deva for three days long, lost patience and threatned by shooting arrows.

Sarga Twenty Two: Maha Sagara himself personified restraining Rama's fury-advised Vanara's 'maha shilpi', the method of constructing 'Setu Bandhana' to facilitate Ramas and the huge Vaanara Sena to cross the Maha Sagara [Vishleshana on Sqirrel and Setu Bandhana]

Sarga Twenty Five: As Rama with Vanara Sena finally crossed the Sagara, the flustered Ravana despatched Shukha-Saaranas as Vanaras, Vibhishana gets them caught, but the kind Rama releases yet with an alert message

Sarga Twenty Six: Ravana asserted not release Devi Sita any way, yet asked Sarana about about Vanara yoddhaas and the latter mentioned Angada, Nala, Shweta, Kumuda, Chanda, Rambha, Sharabha, Panasa, Krodhana, Gavaya [Vishleshana on Ashta Bhiravas]

Sarga Twenty Seven: Saarana further added to the list of Vanara Pramukhas like Jambavan-Jambavan- Samnadana- Kratana- Pramaathi-Gavaksha- Kesari-Shatabali and so on now right at the door steps of Lankapuri..-

Sarga Twenty Eight: As Saarana reported of his findings to Ravana, Shuka detailed about about Sugriva's Ministers, Mainda-Dvividas, Hanuman, Rama Lakshmanas, Sugriva Vibhishanas, and further details of the number of Vanara Sena

Sarga Twenty Nine: As Shuka Saaranas reported yet with implicit praises of enemies, Ravana burst out, stripped them of ministership, asked his spies to see the enemy's status but Vibhishana noticed Shardula as Rama pardoned.

Sarga Thirty: Then Shardula the spy ran back, Ravana desired as to the origin of Pramukha Pramukha Vanaras like Jambavan, Sushena, Kesari, Sushena, Dadhimukhi, Sumukha-Sveta-Mainda brothers, Nala-Vegashali and so on

Sarga Thirty One: Having shattered by Rama's impending attack by his spies, Ravana sought to a cover up his vicarious pleasure and planned a trick by presenting a Maya Rama Mastaka to Sita to force her to submission.

Sarga Thirty Two: As Ravana showed the maya Rama mastaka to Devi Sita mischievosly mischievously, she was totally lost her self awareness totally shattered and requested Ravana to kill her and place her body besides Rama's too.

Sarga Thirty Three: As Devi Sita was drowned in 'duhka saagara'on seeing Rama's severed head, as shown by Mayavi Ravana, dharma buddhi Sarama Rakshsi reveals the truth asserting Rama Vijaya, assuaging Devi's fears

[Vishleshana on a) the Saptaashvas and Surya Ratha - b) Meru Pradakshina by the Sun Chariot] **Sarga Thirty Four:** Dharmika Rakshasi Sarana was endeared by Devi Sita who despatched despatched someone to learn of the latest on Ravana's front and returned that Ravana rejected his motherly mantrini's advice to return Sita but to no avail!

Sarga Thirty Five: Buddhimaan Maalyavaan, on behalf of the Maha Mandali, appealed for appealed to 'Sandhi' with the impending attack by Rama citing 'neeti shastra' and especially due to several 'apashakunas' faced by Lankapuri.

[Brief Vishneshana on Fourteen Maha Vidyas and Principles of Neeti Shastra][Vishleshana on the impact of Kaala maana and the weakening of yuga dharmas: Excerpts from Manu Smirti- and Markandeya, Brahmanada and Bhavishya Puranas:]

Sarga Thirty Six: Even after Malyaavan Mantri demanded for Sandhi, citing several apashakunas experienced by the Lanka public, Ravana reasserting his firm stand and merely instructed for tightening security and walked off!

Sarga Thirty Seven: Vibhishana in a 'pakshi rupa' quickly witnessed the details of Ravana Sena at the four dwaaras of Lanka and its center, then Shri Rama indicates the formation of his own Sena. Sargas Thirty Eight and Thirty Nine: a) Shri Rama along Lakshmana and followers ascended the Suvela Parvata Shihkhara, well known for dhaatu Sampada. b) The pituresque overview ----- espescially impressed Vanara Veeras who assumed various forms to wander in Lankapuri while Rama and followers too were overawed at its magnificence.

Sarga Forty:Suddenly Sugriva spotted Ravana at his residential roof, was unable to control to contol his anger jumped down challenging him for 'malla yuddha'- as Ravana felt that Sugriva was too good and thus disappeared .[Vishleshana on 'Malla Yuddha Chatur Mandala Prakaara and Shashtha Sthaana Vivarana' by Bharata Muni.]

Sarga Forty One: As Rama chided Sugriva's undesirable malla yuddha with Ravana and safe ruturn, 'Maha Rama Sena' marches for an gate wise attack- Rama despatches Angada to reach Ravana with an ultimatum of Ravana's doom

Sarga Forty Two: Final placement of Rama Sena with followers of Lahshmana-

Vibhishana- Sugriva-Maha Vaanaras at the Lankapuri Dwaras cordinating up above and near the gates reminding of Deva- Danava Yuddha!

Sarga Forty Three: Dwandva Yuddhha of Ravana- Vaanara Bhallukas day long yuddha between Indrajit- Angada, Jambumali- Hanuman, Shatrughna-Vibhishana, Gaja-Neela, Prathasa-Sugriva, Virupasha-Lakshmana and so on.[Vishleshana on Maheshwara-Andhakaasura dwandhva yuddha'] Sarga Forty Four: During the night long Rakshasa Vanara Yuddha, Angada defeats

Indrajit, but out a shame as the latter disappears by maaya and did 'naagaastra bandhanaastra prayoga' on Rama Lakshmanas.

Sarga Forty Five: As Rama Lakshmanas were tied down by 'Nagaastra' by Indrajit in hiding ,Vaanara Shreashthas tried to locate him who too were the victims of Indrajit's astras as the bewildered Maha Vanaras broke down too. [Vishleshana on Indrajit]

Sarga Forty Six: As Indrajit was yet in his invisibitity, avoiding the search party of Hanuman, hit Jambavan and other Vaarara Veeras, as Vibhisana pacified Sugriva as 'Satyameva Jayate', as Ravana praised Indrajit.

Sarga Forty Seven: As Vaanaras rescued Rama Lakshmanas from naaga bandhana,

Ravana instructed Trijati Rakhasi to show Sita by Pushpaka Vimaana, as she broke out crying

Sarga Forty Eight: As Sita was broken down in disbelief, she wondered whether

whether Saamudrika Shastra -and Astrological Precepts were truthful assuring final success, but Trijata assured so too yet with.hurdles.[Vishleshana on Saamudrika Shastra on women in general]

Sarga Forty Nine: All of a sudden Shri Rama with his physical and mental strength tore off the 'naaga pasha' but was distressed to see Lakshmana could not, and kept on crying missing him and got readied even to retreat!

Sarga Fifty: Vibhishana distressed at Lakshmana unrecovered, Rama decides to withdraw from the battle; Sushena advises Hanuman to get herbs from Sanjeevani Parvata-Garuda lands frees from 'naaga bandhana' [Vishleshana on Garuda Deva, the Vinata Nandana]

Sargas Fifty One and Two: Rattled by Rama Lakshmanas release, the worrried Ravana despatched Dhumraksha, who encouraged his Rakasasas who displayed initial success but Hanuman crashed the chariot and the head of Dhumraksha

Sargas Fifty Three and Fifty Four: Ravanaasura got furious that Dhumraakasha was was killed by Hanuman, he instructed Vajradamshra to take revenge, as Rakshasa Vaanara Maha Yuddha followed yet Angada crushed Vajradamshta to death

Sargas Fifty Five and Fifty Six: As Angada pulled down Vajradamshtra to death, Senapati Akampana volunteered to attack the shatru sena but Veeranjana despatched the Senapati and

Senapati Akampana volunteered to attack the shatru sena but Veeranjana despatched the Senapati and many Raashasas to Yama Loka

Sargas Fifty Seven and Fifty Eight: As even Akampana too was crumbled to death by Hanuman, Ravana hesitated but Senapati Prahasta consented but Maha Vaanara Senapati Neela succeeded to crush the Rakshasa Senapati to death

Sarga Fifty Nine: Ravana's entry with a wallop and exit with a whimper by subduing

Sugriva, Lakshmana, Hanuman, Neela Yoddhas but exited as Shri Rama disgraced him!.

Sarga Sixty: Having left battle with disgrace as defeated by Shri Rama, Ravana

instructed that Kumbhakarna be awaken from long slumber; once awaken with food and drink reached Ravana as Vaanras were scared

Sargas Sixty One and Sixty Two: Vibhishana traces Kumbhakarma's origin,

maha bala and spells of 'deerghanidra'- Ravanaasura literally begs of full scale attack on Rama Sugriva Vaanaras to save his prestige at the stake.

Sarga Sixty Three: Initially having reprimanded Ravana not to have followed

the basic principles of dharmika jeevana, pacified the elder brother later and asserted killings of Rama Lakshmana Sugriva Hanuman Vaanaras.

Sarga Sixty Four: As Kumbhakarna boasted off his certain victory, Mahodara

warned of Rama's invincibilty but the latter was infuriated, demanded Sita's surrender and proceeded against Rama with four more Rakshasa Veeras.

Sarga Sixty: Kumbhakarna 'Rana Yatra', notwithstanding spates of 'dusshakunas'

Sarga Sixty Six: As many Vaanaras were dazed at Kumbhakarna ran way despite

Angada's appeals as either death with veera swarga, then Maha Vanaras like Neela, Gavaksha, Hanuman then dedided to confront the enemy

Sarga Sixty Seven: Displaying initial 'prataapa' against Angada, Sugriva and

Hanuman, Kumbhakarna calling Lakshmana as 'baalaka' attacks Rama who had systematically slashed off his right and left shoulders and finally his head and body to Vanara's thrill and the dismay of Ravana! **Sarga Sixty Eight:**On hearing the unbelievable and tragic end of Kumbhakarna,

Ravana was stunned and as his sons/ cousins broke down; he realised the retributive impact of his criminal deeds but now too late!

Sarga Sixty Nine: As Ravana felt the never dreamt of Kumbhakarna's fall , Trishira

cooled down his anguish while Ravana Putras /cousin kumaras readied yet Narakantaka too resisted much as Angada removed him dead- [Vishleshana on a) Shambarasura- Indra and b) Narakasura and Vishnu]

Sarga Seventy: Hanuman shattered Devantaka and Trishira, Neela demolished

Mahodara and Rishabha smashed Mahapaarshva

Sarga Seventy One: Atikaya the Kubera Putra whom Ravana considered as his

own son; Brahma gifted an impregnable Kavacha to Atikaya; after a bhayankara yuddha, Lakshmana finally killed him by brahmastra itself

Sarga Seventy Two: Totally smashed to smithereens, Ravanasura reviewed several

Maha Rakshasa Veeraas had sacrificed lives for him so far and instructed safety of Lankapuri, specially where Devi Sita resided

Sarga Seventy Three:Indrajit devastated Vanara Veeraas being invisible on skies

and by using brahmaastra made Rama Lakshmaas too victimised as Ravana was thrilled and so were Rakshasaas and Lankapura

Sarga Seventy Four: As Vaanara Veeraas wondered with 'kam kartavya' as Rama

Lakshmanas collapsed senseless, Jambavan advised of fetching Mrita Sanjivini off Himalayas which Hanuman did the glorious act successfully.

Sarga Seventy Five: Sugriva being relieved of Rama Lakshmana's revival, ordered

Vanaras to break into Lankapuri and terrorise Rakshasas with flames- Ravana instructed Kumbhakarna Putras, Kumbha Nikumbhas, to attack.

Sarga Seventy Six: As Angada destroyed Rakashas Kampana and Prajanghaka,

Dvivida killed Shonitaakshaka, Mainda uprooted Yupaksha and Sugriva's 'mushti ghaatas' demolished Kumbhaasura

Sarga Seveny Seven: As his dear brother Kumbhaasura was killed by Sugriva,

Nikumbha attacked Hanuman and got killed by him

Sargas Seventy Eight and Seventy Nine: As per Ranvana's instructions,

Makaraaksha challenged Rama with baana varshas for long, but Rama smashed the charioteer, as the asura took to a Shiva shula, yet Rama with his Vayavyastra killed the asura.

Sarga Eighty: As instructed by Ravana, Indrajit invoked abhichaara yagina and

with antardhana shakti tormented Rama Lakshmanas, but Rama warned Lakshmana of brahmastra prayoga yet the the latter made a 'shapatha' to kill Indrajit.

Sarga Eighty One: Despite repeated warnings of 'stree hatya' as a 'maha paataka',

Indrajit drove oft Maya Sita Devi by his charirot and stabbbed her as rakshasas were insane with joy as Vanara Sena was got demoralised

Sarga Eight Two: As Hanuman witnessed Sita Devi killed, Vanara sena was ghast

and Humuman had intitially pacified the vanara sena and take ro revenge but later agreed for temporary withdrawal and to inform Rama Sugrivaas

Sarga Eighty Three: As as he heard of Devi Sita's killing, Rama swooned down and Lakshmana did extensive vishleshana of dharmaadharma and sought to revive him, asserting Indrajit's justified killing too soon.

Sarga Eighty Four: Vibhishana spelt out Ravanasura's insane desire for Devi Sita

that he could ever imagine her being killed and Indrajit fooled Hanuman and vaanaras of Maya Sita but attack Indrajit's abhichhara yagna instantly.

Sarga Eighty Five: Following repeated exhortations of Vibhishana, Shri Rama

finally dismissing Indrajit's 'maaya Sita's vyavahara' instructed Lakshmana to proceed to Nikumbhila Mandira with Vibhishana and Vaanara sena

Sarga Eighty Six: On arrival at the Nikumbhila, Vaanara Rakshasa battle followed -

Hanuman challenged Indrajit for malla yuddha, Indrajit raised his dhanur banaas against Hanuman, but Lakshmana raised his dhanush instead.

Sarga Eighty Seven: Indrajit heckles Vibhishana for discarding his 'swadhama'

to join Rama but Vibhishana details of his Poulastya ancestry, highlights Ravana's 'duraachaaras' and to get ready to be soon killed by Lakshmana!

[Visheshana on Bhuta Bali]

Sarga Eighty Eight: Lakshmana-Indrajit exchange of hot words followed by fierce

battle mutually yet physically hurting each other on and on but never tired despite blisters and flows of blood as Vibhishana attacked Indrajit.

[Visheshana on Panchaagnis]

Sarga Eighty Nine: Vibhishana boosted Vaanara Veeras morale listing about

the Rakshasas smashed up already and inspired them to fight further as Lakshmana-Indrajit battle followed while the latter's chariot etc was shattered

Sarga Ninety: The sequel of Lakshmana -Indrajit maha samgrama concluded with

Lakshamana's domination, the celestial world felt relieved with the vindication of dharma and nyaaya

Sarga Ninety One: Lakshmana accompanied by Vibhishana, Sugriva and Vaanara

Bhalluka Veeraas reached Rama who was immensely impressed and praised Lakshmana with intimate affection and recoup from his injuries soon.

Sarga Ninety Two: Totally forlorn with Indrajit's end by Lakshmana, Ravanasura

desired to kill Devi Sita the root cause of the yuddha, but Mantri Suparshva appealed not to kill Sita but instead kill Rama Lakshmanas instead.

Sarga Ninty Three: Having been demoralised with Indrajit's loss, Ravana directed

the combined senas of the Mantris as led by them, but Rama utilised gandharvaastra which created a spell devastating lakhs of Rakshasas

Sarga Ninety Four: As many families heros were dead, affected Rakshasa strees

cursed Ravana recalling that Brahma varaas excluded manavas of invincibility while Shiva predicted Devi Sita to be born for Rakshasa vinaashana

Sarga Ninety Five: Noting the 'arta naadaas' of Lanka's fallen Rakshasas by Rama,

Ravana himself attacked vaanaras along with senapatis Mahodara, Mahaparshva and Virupaksha

Sarga Ninety Six: As Ravana was razing Vanaraas they approached Rama Sugrivas,

as Sugriva attacked Virupaksha, killed his elephant, angry rakshasa slashed Sugriva who got recovered and destroyed Virupaksha

Sarga Ninety Seven: Ravana having been upset by the fall of Virupaksha, asked

Mahodara to regain the success of Rakshasaas; but Sugriva after prolonged one to one encounter could severe 'Mahodara mastaka'

Sarga Ninety Eight: Mahaparshva got furious at the deaths of Virupaksha and

Mahodara and demolished numberless vaanaras, but Angada with his mighty 'mushti ghaatas' tore off Mahodara's chest and heart with fatality

Sarga Ninety Nine: Furious Ravana re-entered the battle, released 'Taamasaastra'

killing vaanaras, resisted Lakshmana, attacked Rama, got hurt by his roudrastra, as his asuraastra which was realiated by Rama's agneyastra!

Sarga Hundred: As Rama Ravana yuddha was intensified, Lakshmana intervened

and the infuriated Ravana released his Mayaasura's Shakti aayudha by which Lakshmana was swooned and Rama asserted his 'prateekara'

Sarga Hundred One: Shri Rama 'vilaapa' for Lakshmana's fainting away, but

Vaanara Sushena applied Sanjeevani brought earlier by Hanuman and Lakshmana got revived again and the latter reminds of Rama's 'satya pratigjna'

Sarga Hundred Two: Indra sent Matali with chariot, Rama initiated baana varsha

but Ravana destroyed the chariot, hurled his Shakti aayudha but Rama attacked with arrows and Indra's 'Shakti' too which severely hit Ravana's body

Sargas Hundred Three and Four: In the course of the dwandva baana praharaas,

Ravana boasted off and Rama listed his shameless Sitaapa-harana and such adharmas; Ravana hit Rama and the latter smashed off so much as Ravana's sarathi ran back yet returned later

Sarga Hunded and Five: Agastya Muni's eminet ADITYA HRIDAYA with

invocations of Viniyoga - Rishi- Karanyasa- Hridayanga Nyaasa Vidhi Mantras

Sarga Hundred and Six: As Shri Rama was delighted as seated on Indra's Chariot

encouraging Matali the celestial charioteer, there were a spate of 'asubha soochanas' for Ravana just ahead of the epic battle of Rama Ravanas

Sarga Hundred and Seven: As Rama Ravana Yuddha got anti climaxed as

Ravana's heads sprang up again and again , but neither Shri Rama nor Ravana got tired and continued the battle overnight and the next day too

Sarga Hundred and Eight: As Matali reminded of the Brahmastra which Agastya

Muni bestowed to Rama, he recalled its universal impact and released on Ravana as his notorious life was closed, vindicating dharma and nyaaya again.

Sarga Hundred Nine: As his elder brother Ravanaasura was killed by Shri Rama's

brahmastra, Vibhishana broke down, yet Rama declared that Ravana fought like a fearless hero and advised that the antyeshta karma be done soon

Sarga Hundred and Ten: Having heard about and seen of the dead Ravana,

the antahpura strees were heart broken crying away in general, but some sensible ones wished of Ravana's release of Sita should have reversed the swing to normalcy

Sarga Hundred and Eleven: Devi Mandodari having placed the dead body of

Ravanaasura on her laps, kept on crying away recalling his glories and her excellent marital experiences-Vibhishana performed the dahanaadi antya karmaas.

Sarga Hundred and Twelve: As the joyful Celestials returned to their lokas

from their sky high assembly after Rama Vijaya, Shri Rama thanked Matalii, Indra- Sugrivadi Vanaras, and celebrated Vibhishana Pattaabhisheka

Sarga Hundred and Thirteen: Hanuman reached Ashoka Vaatika for Sita darshana-

talked at length - she complemented him a lot yet desired not to kill the rakshasis who were after all instructed by Ravana - both proceeded to Rama.

[Vishleshana on Ashtanga Gunas]; [Vishleshana on Hunter-Tiger-Bhalluka reference by Devi Sita to Hanuman as the latter asked her permission to destroy rakshasis threatening her for months].

Sarga Hundred and Fourteen: Hanuman accompanied Devi Sita for Shri Rama

Shri Rama Darshana- Rama chides Vibhishana not to make a big scene, then Devi Sita sights her glorious husband after long miseries at Ravana's directives

Sarga Hundred and Fifteen: Rama asserted that he underwent several issues

to resurrect Dharma although Sita's freedom now was only incidental - as she stayed under Ravana's care for long, he would free her seeking her own comfort

[Visleshana on Agastya and Daitya brothers Vaataapi and Ilvala as sourced from Matsya Purana]

Sarga Hundred and Sixteen: Devi Sita explaining and asserting her origin of

'ayonijatva', upbringing and paativratya to Rama and the assembly of public had finally entered into the agni jwaalaas as celestials and the public witnessed.

Sarga Hundred and Seventeen: As Devi Sita entered 'agni jvaalaas' set by

Lakshmana with Rama's implicit awareness, sarva deva mandali headed by Brahma praised Rama as of Vishnu avatara and Sita as Maha Lakshmi

[Vishleshana of Ashta Vasus, Ekaadasha Rudras, Saadhaka Devataas, and Ashvini Kumaraas] [Brief Vihleshana on select Purusha Sukta's select stanzas].

Sarga Hundred and Eighteen: Reacting to Brahma's declarations, Agni Deva

emerged in public view and presented Devi Sita asserting her purity even being in Ravana's 'antahpura' for long as Rama desired to test her so to convince public.

Sarga Hundred and Ninteen: Maha Deva complemented Rama and pointed out

at Dasharadha's Soul from Swarga as the latter blessed Rama stating that he redeemed his soul as Ashtavakra did to his father and assured Kingship with glory.

[Vishleshana on Ashtavarka and his father Kahola].

Sarga Hundred and Twenty: As Rama requested to Indra to revive the lives of

countless dead vaanara-bhallukaas at the yuddhha, the latter having realised that it was unprecedented yet granted as dead ones came alive as from deep sleep!

Sarga Hundred and Twenty One: Vibhishana requested Shri Rama to stay back for

a few days and enjoy his hospitality, but Rama displayed his anxiety to return the soonest as he was yearning to return to Ayodhya

Sarga Hundred Twenty Two: As Shri Rama alighted the Kubera's Pushpaka Vimana

with Sita Laksgnanas, Vibhishana requsted Rama to accompany with Sugriva Vaanara sena too, and the celestial vimana had taken off

Sarga Hundred and Twenty Three: Enroute Ayodhya, Rama highlighted to Sita of Yuddha bhumi- Setu bandhana vidhana- kishkindha pick up of strees- drishyas of Janasthaana- their crossings of maha nadis-Muni ashramas and Ayodhya finally!

Sarga Hudred Twenty Four: Rama approached Muni Bharadwaaja to enquire of

the yoga kshemaas of his mothers, Bharata and Ayodhy in general, and the all knowing Muni blessed Rama for his glorious return and blessed

Sarga Hundred and Twenty Five: Rama with his sharp mindedness instructed

Hanuman to visit Nishada Guha about their 'punaagamana' and to Bharata,who was worshipping Rama Padukas, was specially elated.

Sarga Hundred Twenty Six: Hanuman then had briefly narrated to Bharata of the

proceedings after the latter's earlier darshana of Shri Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas, till their much awaited Ayodhya Darshana.

Sarga Hundred Twenty Seven: As Sita Rama Lakshmanas were arriving, Bharata

Shatrugmas made elaborate arrangements at Ayodhya- the much excited Bharata hands over the Kingdom as of a deposit to Rama after a public announcement

Final Sarga Hundred Twenty Eight: Bharata's handing over Ayodhya Rajya-

Sita Rama Nagara Yatra-Rajyabhisheka- [Brief Vishleshana on Rama Rajya from Agni Purana]

Valmiki Ramayana Phala Shruti-

Introduction:

Brahmarshi Narada taught Brahmana Vidyaarthi Pracheta the 'two golden principles of not preaching what he himself would not practise and take to the name and thought of Rama till his death'. The boy learnt the Mantra 'Mara' or to Kill- kill 'ahamkara', 'shadvarga shatrus' of excessive desires, anger, selfishness and avarice, infatuation, ego and jealousy. Constant repetition of 'Mara' turned as 'Rama' gradually developed 'valmikaas' or anthills till his 'atma saakshaatkaara' or Self Realisation and eventually came to be reputed as Valmiki Maharshi. Once when he was bathing in the clear waters of Ganges he sighted two doves while mating but were shot to death by a hunter and the Maharshi cried :maa nishaada pratishthaa tvamagamah shasshvatih samaah, yat krouncha mithunaa -dekam avadheeh kaama mohitam/ Nishaada! There could never be rest for long years till eternity, for you killed the mating birds unsuspectingly! This is the 'prerepana' or the inspiration of the illustrious scripting of Valmiki Ramayana! Maharshi Valmiki asked Brahmarshi Narada: Konyasmin saampratam loke gunavaan kascha veeryavaan, dharmaginascha kritaginascha veeryavaan,dharmaginascha kritaginascha Satyavaakyo dhridhavtatah' as to who indeed was the Guna- Veerya-Dharmagina- Kritagina- Satya Vaadi- Dhridha Sankalpa or of the superior traited- brave- virtuous-ever grateful - truthful and decisive on Earth during the Treta Yuga! Ramayana is relevant now as much as in the past -present and for ever as narrated in Six Khandas or sugar cane stems viz. Baala Khanda-Ayodhya Khanda- Aranya Khanda-Kishkinda Khanda-Sundara Khanda-Yuddha Khanda. Baala Khanda comprises seventy seven Sargas- Ayodhya Khanda one hundred nineteen Sargas-Aranya Khanda has seventy three Sargas-Kishkindha Khanda has sixty seven Sargas-Sundara Khanda comprises of sixty eight Sargas-Yuddha Khanda has one twenty eight Sargas. Addtionally Uttara Khanda has one hundred eleven Sargas.

Retrospective:

Baala Khanda

The overview of Ramayana by Maharshi in his trance- Valmiki Ramayana of 24000 stanzas was sung by Lava- Kusha kumars of 'Shri Rama -Devi Sita' at a Conference of Muni Mandali before Shri Rama- -----From the Vaivaswa Manvantara to the Ikshvaku Vamsha at Ayodhya till King Dasharatha to Shri Rama-King Dashararatha-Vasishtha- Ministers plan to perform Ashvamedha Yagna and despatch Sumantra the Charioteer request to request Maharshi Rishyashringa- Historic Arrival of Rishyashringa heralding the season to rains- There after Vasishthas gave to the King 'yagina diksha'- removed evil influences - made arrangements of the yagina like architecture, construction and maintenance; groups of jyotishadi vedangas; workforce; nata- naatya -nartaka groups, cooking, culinary, construction of colonies, conference Halls etc. Ashvamedha Yagna executed gloriously- Putra Kaamekshi Yagina- Celestials preparing for arrival of Maha Purusha-Devas and Indra approached Vishnu to desrtoy Ravasnasura as Vishnu said only in human form Rama, Dasharatha's son could to so. At the Yagina, a Maha Purusha emerged from the flames and handed over a 'payasa patra' to Dasharatha to distribute to his three queens as instructed. As Rama-Lakshmana-Bharata-Shatrugnas were born thus, Indra and Devas manifested 'Vaanaraas' including Hanuman with Ashta Siddhis. Dasharatha distributes 'payasa' to queens Koushalya-Sumitra- Kaikeyi -Samskararas to Ramaadi Kumaras; Arrival of Brahmarshi Vishvamitra at Ayodhya to King Dasharatha. Vasishtha assured Dasharatha about Shri Rama's safety in safeguarding the Vishvamitra Yagjna as the satisfied King allowed Rama Lakshmanas and teach Bala-Atibala. The trio reached Angamuni Ashram-Sarayu-Ganga confluence at Malada- Kurusha Villages where Indra hi d-the reason was that Indra killed brahmana Vritraasura.-They enter 'Tataka Vana'-Rama Lakshmanas encounter Tataka and Vishmamitra prevails on stree hatya-Vishvamitra teaches most of archery mantras to Rama Lakshmanas-Vishvamitra takes Rama brothers to the 'Vamana Ashrama' - Yagjnas spoilt in other ashramas by Maricha Subahus punished by Rama-'Ashramavashis' conveyed about Janaka's

Yagina and Shiva Dhanush- Vishvamitra seeks take heros to Siddhashrama by difficult terrain and explains about adjacent Kusha Desha, King Kushanabha, Apsara daughters and Vayu Deva-By boat from Shonabhadra to Ganges, Vishvamitra explains about flows of Ganges - birth of Skanda- King Sagara's tapasya for sons- queen Sumati begets 60,000 strong sons while Keshini just only Asamanjasa. Sagara planned Ashvamesha yagna, Indra stole the Sacrificial horse- Sumati's strong sons searched bhuloka-and patalas with pomp and noise-Kapila Muni curses the sons in patala to become stones-Asamanjasa goes in search and conveys the result to Sagara who dies- King Asamanjasa gaveup hopes and so does his son Amshuman and the latter's son Dilip. But Bhagiradha takes up the thread and prays to Ganga from skies at Gokarna Tirtha. Bhagiratha standing by foot fingers, invoked Maha Deva-Crossing Ganga, Rama approaching Vaishali asked about Deva Danavas-Having failed to secure Amrit, Diti-daitya motherseeks to destroy Indra- Diti fell asleep unsconcsiously, Indra entered her Garbha with his 'Vajraayudha', saw the fully grown up boy inside ,cajoled him saying 'don't cry, don't cry' and sliced the child into seven parts and further to forty nine sub-parts-Vishvamitra stated that they were at that very place where above instances had occured when there was an Ikshvaaku Kings Kakutstha- Sumati and then proceed to Mithila the kingdom of Janaka Raia! Sumati showed the way to Gautama Ashram en route Mithila.-Entering King Janaka's Yagnyashaala, Vishvamitra introduces Rama Lalshmanas and their acts of glory so far to King Janaka and his Purohita 'Shataananda'-Having congratulated Rama Lakshmanas, Shatananda makes a detialed coverage on the lifestory of Vishvamitra who as a Kshatriya King through tapsyas became a Brahmarshi!King Vishvamitra sighted Shabali Kamadhenu and demands it but was refused; in a battle Shabala smashed thee army but the latter took to severe tapasya. Brahma blesses Vishvavmitra be the status of Maharshi-Trishanku desires to reach swarga being mortal and Vishvamitra creates a mid- sky swarga with his tapo bala; -Ambarisha performs Yagjna at Pushkara but as sacrifice animal was stolen, a 'nara pashu boy' was arranged - Vishvamitra took pity but to no avail; got entangled instead by co-Munis.-Vishvamitra disturbed by 'Menaka' at Pushkara, then shifted to heights of himalayas when 'Rambha' disturbed too-Ultimatelyeven as Indra ever stole his food, Maharshi stopped his breathing but kept on his tapsya on Brahma, and the latter conferred the title of 'Brahmarshi'! Vishmamitra conveys Rama's desire to show Shiva Dhanush and Janaka gives the background of the -Dhanush; King Nimi was gifted Shiva Dhanush at his son Devarata's wedding; Devi Sita as 'Ayonija' as Janaka tills bhuyagina.-Rama lifted up the Shiya Dhanush as if it were a toy, straightened it with great ease, held the middle part, and as though of a child play broke into two pieces. That breaking resulted in earthshaking like reverberations. King Janaka said: Once wedded to Shri Rama, my daughter ought to be proud to his life partner and bring in glory to Janaka vamsha! Brahmarshi said: tathaastu!- King Janaka sent a messenger to King Dasharatha to state: Shri Rama in the midst of all of us had managed the control and breaking of the age old Shiva Dhanush and as per my repeated announcements would like to propose my daughter Devi Sita to Shri Rama in a wedding ceremony and therefore request you to attend the same along with your queens and the entire retenue. Besides Rama and Devi Sita, may we also propose the wedding of Lakshmana with my younger daughter Urmila too- Dasharadha was pleased and addressed Vasishtha and Ministers to leave next morning -Accompanied by Gurus, wives and intimate and other relatives and friends, King Dasharatha was happy and blissful and instructed Sumantra to let the royal treasurer carry surplus funds of cash, jewellery, nine gems ahead and for their safety there ought to be fool proof defence arrange -ments. A four day procession with needed halts on way moved on with plentiful food and drinks. On their arrival at the outskirts of the Kingdom, King Janaka made elaborate reception with music, song, dance and ecstatic welcome showers of flowers-In an open Janaka Sabha, Vasishtha narrated the glory of Ikshvaku Vamsha: Brahma Deva the Swayambhu manifested Marichi,

from the latter was born Kashyapa whose son was Vivisvaan as the latter gave birth to Vaivasvata Manu. Manu was the foremost Prajapati and from Manu was born Ikshvaku the first King of Ayodhya. Then were highlighted: Pruthu-Mandhata-Sagara- Bhagiratha- Ambareesha-Nahusha-Yayati-Naabhaga- Ajaand Dasharatha- King Janaka explained about his vamsha from renowned King Nimi, whose son named Mithibeing the ever first Janaka as the 'vamsha' known as of Janakas. Then he introduced Kushadhvaja his younger brother desirous of getting his two daughters to Bharata and Shatrughna and declared Mandaveeka and Shutakeerti as their respective wives. respectively.- Public Declarations were made in the presence of Kings, Maharshis, and the public and hectic preparations were made; The vivahika vedika was got ready befitting the status and magnificence of two great Kings. Then Janaka welcomed the brides and bridegrooms.-- Afer the festivities concluded, guests were shovered with precious gifts, the groom's party moved back on the return journey but a terrible sand storm was faced. Parashu Rama arrived shouting 'Rama Rama' with terrible anger as the Shiva Dhanush was broken. Dasharatha tried to pacify but with anger, handed over Vishnu Dhanush and challenging Rama to break it if at all possible. An angry Rama not only lifted the dhanush as though Vishnu did against Madhukaitabha daityas but stated that with that very dhanush he could as well demolish Parashu Rama too! An utterly humiliated Parashu Rama was then instructed to return to Mahendra Mountain for ever!- As the rerurn procession finally reached the city of Ayodhya, it was ready with dhwaja-patakas, welcome sounds of drums and music, dances and decoratons. Dasharatha along with his sons and new daughters-in-law along with the Queens made an auspicious entry. Later, Raja Kumaras shared royal responsibilities. Rama and Sita became famed as Vishnu and Lakshmi.

Ayodhya Khanda

Considering Shri Rama's eligibility for Ayodhya's Yuvarajatva, King Dasharatha convenes a durbar meeting -King Dashatatha secures public approval for Rama's Yuvarajatva-Dasharatha discusses the details of Rama's Rajyabhisheka with Vasishtha and asks Rama to attend the Rajya sabha- Rama seeks his mother Devi Koushlya's blessings and endears Lakshmana-Dasharatha and Vasishtha ask Rama and Sita to observe fasting before the celebrations of Yuvarajatva- Ayodhya public's joy and pre-celebrations-Villianous Manthara gets upset on Rama's Yuvarajatva and reaches Kaikeyi and provokes and poisons Kaikeyi's mindset suggesting Rama's Vana Vaasa and Bharata's elevation as Yuvaraaja- Fully poisoned by Mandhara, Kaikeyi enters 'Kopa griha'- the symbolic AngerChamber-King Dasharatha seeks to pacify her beloved queen Kaikeyi-Kaikeyi seeks to remind of Dasharatha's promise of granting her of two boons at a battle as she saved him, demands Rama's 'vana vaasa'/ Bharata's Rajyabhisheka-Dasharatha's remorse at Kaikeyi's undue demands even having admitted the boons and pleads with Kaikeyi not to insist but in vain - Dasharatha's intense cryings and persistent pleadings with Kaikeyi but she argued in the name of dharma citing the tradition of truthfulness of Ikshvaku ancestors- Kaikeyi's stubbuornness to relent - Vashishta Maharshis intervetion fails and Charioteer Sumanra asked for Rama's arrival at the King's Palace-Sumanta arrives at Rama's palace while Rama and Lakshmana on the way to King's Palace enjoying public's joy at Rama's elevation-Excellent preparations in the city for the celebrations by the following day- Rama witnessing heart broken Dasharatha and Kaikeyi's rude intervention demanding Rama's Vana Vaasa for fourteen years in prscirbed dress code and of Bharat's Kingship-Rama agrees to her terms and proceeds to Kouashalya to break the news - Koushalya's sudden and of tragic news leads to agony and standstill senselessness as Rama seeks to pacify-Lakshmana gets agitated at the turn of the events and so did Kousalya but Rama assuages their badly hurt as Rama explains that 'pitru vaakya paripaalana' ought to be his life's motto and dharma. Rama asked Lakshmana to remove all the

preparatory materials like the vessels etc. meant for his Rajyabhisheka since that would be unwanted then-Reacting to remove the material for Rajyabhishaka, Lakshmana argued whether the decicision was correct, but Rama once again reiterated as irrevocable - Devi Kousalya, reacting sharply about Rama's decisiveness to undergo vana vaasa resolves to follow him, and Rama invoked the argument of her preserving Pativratya and should not desert her husband-With great difficulty, Rama finally convinces Kousalya to let him leave for 'vana vaasa' and she relented finally.- As Rama left Kousalya with mutual anguish, the Public too was unaware of the tragic developent, much less Devi Sita who was horrified-Devi pleads her accompanying Rama for the forest life -Rama dissuades Sita to accompany him for Vana Vaasa-Sita invokes her 'Paativratya Dharma' and insists- Devi Sita sobs heavily and Rama had to finally concedes-Lakshmana too insists on accompanying Rama- latter agrees; Rama desires of offering charities- Sita Rama's charity to Vasishtha Kumara Sujyagina and wife, brahmanas, brahmacharis, servants- Sita Rama Lakshmanas visit Kaikeyis's palace to meet Dasharatha as Nagara vaasis weep away -Sita Rama Lakshmanas approach Dasharatha with queens before vana vaasa; the latter swoons and recovers and embraces them and swoons again-Sumantra criticizes Kaikeyi as the latter justifies-Dasharatha instructs treasure to be sent along with Sumatra for initial phase of vana vaasa; Rama Lakshmans dressed up in valkals as Vishtha rejects Sita wearing that dress- Dasharatha too rejects Sita wearing Valkava vastras even as Kaikeyi was unhappy, but Rama approves--Dasaratha breaks into cryings, Sunantra arrives with the chariot, Sita receives 'pati seva upadesha' from Kousalya, Rama Sita Lakshmanas bid farewell to all - Sita Rama Lakshmanas perform pradakshinas to Dasharathaand the mothers, Sita Rama Lakshmanas alight the chariot and the crowds get terribly agitated-As the unruly crowd was interrupting the Chariot several times, the citizens were crying away aloud shatterring the skies, especially the women folk-King Dasharatha cries and swoons for Rama, distances from Kaikeyi's palace and shifts to Kousalya's-Maha Rani Kousalya's agony asDevi Sumitra assuages Kousalya's tormented psyche-Rama appeals to the Ayodhya public not to hurt Dasaratha or Bharata- the elders of the public insist on following Rama upto Tamasa river banks- Rama Sita Lakshmana's over night stay at Tamasa banks- they leave ealiest unnoticed- public felt bad-Ayodhya elders and women got disturbed inability to see off Rama to the deeper forests crossing Tamasa- Ayodhya woman folk cry away Rama Sita Lakshmanas for further 'vana vaasa'- Public of Kosala Janapada throng at the Chariot carrying Ramas whoalso cross Veda shruti-Gomati-Skandika rivers- Ramas arrive at Shringavera pura on the banks of Ganga- stay overnight and Nishada Raja Guha welcomes them-Lakshmana - Guha feel and exchange expressions of sadness-Guha navigates Sita Rama Lakshmanas across Ganga- Rama bids farewell to the reluctant Sumamtra- Sita's intense prayers to the Sacred Ganga- after crossing Ganga reach Vatsa desha for night halt- As Rama asks Lakshmana to return back to Ayodhya at least now but Lakshmana protests-Ramas reach Bharadvaaja ashram and the Maharshi advises them to settle at Chitrakoota mountain - while they cross Yamuna from Prayaga- Sita prays to Yamuna- their overnight stay at otherside of Yamuna-Ramas reach Chitrakoota-Maharshi Valmiki at ashram- Maharshi teaches Lakshmana Vaastu Shastra- Sumantra reaches Ayodhya- 'aarta naadaas' by public and Dasharatha and queens-Sumantra conveys Shri Rama- Lakshmanas's messages to the parents-Condition of the Ayodhya public and at the state of Rama's distresses Dashatratha extremely- Anguish of Devi Kouasalya sought to be assuaged by Sumatra-Kousalya's crying protests against Dasharatha-Regretful Dasharatha with folded hands and prostrations seeks pardon from Kousalya-Dasaratha's confession to Kousalya about his youthful blunder of killing a Muni Kumara -Having revealed details of the Muni hatya, the helpless cryings of his blind parents - Vriddha Muni's curse that Dasaradha would die in son's absence-Dasharatha -Pursuant to Dasharatha's death, his queeens cried out, deathwise-praises and music followedQueens, Ministers and staff- and public vision the body as retained in oil vessels-Maharshis assemble with Purohita Vasishtha to decide on the successor Kingship-Vashishtha despaches messengers to Kaikeya kingdom to bringBharata along with Shatrughna.- As messengers arrive at Bharata's place, the latter felt 'dussvapnas' early morning-Ayodhya's messengers arrive at Bharat's maternal uncle's palace, bring gifts and message to return-Bharata Shatrughnas arrive at Ayodhya and found the city as silent and listless!- Bharata reaches Kaikeyi palace and hears the news of his father's demise and Rama Sita Lakshmana 'vana vaasa' and Bharata's rajyaabhisheka!- The rattled up Bharata protests violently and detests- Kaikeyi's evil mindedness-Bharata's open protests against Kaikeyi-Bharata's 'shapatha' / swearing in the presence of Kousalya-Raja Dasharatha's 'antyeshthi' / 'dahana samskaara'-Bharatha performs Dashartha's 'shraaddha karma' and 'maha daanaas' - collection of ashes and 'nimajjana' - 'daaha samskaara'-Shatrugna attacks the villainess Kubja, the servant maid of Kaikeyi, to senselessness and spares her death! Ministers propose Bharata's 'rajyabhisheka'- but the latter proposes only temporary authority as Shri Rama ought to be the real King-Bharata initiates the constuction of comfortable 'Raja Marga' from Rivers Sarayu to banks of Ganga-As 'mangala vaadyas' were heard on a morning, Bharata felt uneasy and asked Vasishtha to come to Rajya sabha with Ministers and officials- Bharata disagrees with Vasishtha that kingship was Rama'sbirth right and only a passing solution now-Bharata's vana yatra and night halt at Shringaverapura -Nishaada Raja hosts Bharata's overnight stay before crossing Ganga the next day- Bharata and Nishada Raja exchange views of Rama's magnanimity-Nishada Raja extols about the nobility and devotion to Rama of Lakshmana-On hearing details of Rama Sita Lakshmanas, Bharata swooneddown, Shatrugna and the mothers cried away, and persisted on the details of the threesome regarding their food and sleeping patterns-Guha showed the bed of 'kusha grass' by which Sita Ramas slept on that night and the 'valkala vastras' left behind-Bharata accompanied by sena, mothers, Munis and public arrives at Bharadvaaja ashram-Bharata visits Bharadwaja 'ashram'- The Maharshi bestows Bharata and entire entourage including vast army a heavenly hospitality-Bharata introduces his three mothers and Bharadvaja blesses them and indicates the way to Chitrakoota- Bharata's Chitrakoota yatra described-Shri Rama shows the beauty and grandeur of Chitrakoota to Sita-Shri Rama displays the exquisiteness of River Mandakini to Sita-As the wild beasts and birds running astray of Chitrakoota, Lakshmana went up atop a shaala tree as an army was nearing and Lakshmana was angered-As Lakshmana saw Bharata approaching, he got angrybut Rama cooled him down-Bharata and advance party located Rama's 'kuteera' and visited the details inside -Bharata Shatrughnas locate Rama, prostrate and crying- Shri Rama having enquired Bharata's welfare gave elaborate lessons of Kshatra Dharmas on his own- Rama asks Bharata the reason of his arrival as Bharata requests him to return and accept Kingship; but Rama refuses-Bharata requests Rama to reconsider Kingship and informs King Dasharath's sad demise-Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas cry away at father's death-offerings of tarpana and pinda daana - With Vasishtha ahead the three Devis arrive, all the sons prostrate the mothers and Vasishtha too-Bharata broaches about Rama's return & kingship -Bharata again pesters Rama to assume kingship-Shri Rama instructs Bharata to return to Ayodhya at once-Muni Jaabali supports Bharata and his argument that sounded spread of 'nastikata'-Rama asserts that karma and rebirth are the corner stones of 'Astikata'-Vasishtha traces the geneology of IkshvakuVamsha and asks to uphold its fame and assume Kinghip as the eldest son of Dasharatha-Shri Rama reiterates that 'Pitru Agina' was paramount yet doubled edged that he should undergo vana vaasa and Bharata should rule for that period! -As Bharata was not ready yet to return to Ayodhya, Shri Rama grants his 'charana paadukaas' and finally bid farewell to Bharata and the entourage-Bharata and the entourage reach back to Maharshi Bharadwaja's ashram and return to Ayodhya-On return to Ayodhyam Bharata realises the sad state of the city of Ayodhdya-Bharata instals

Shri Rama 'Paadukaas' at Nandigrama and administers Ayodhya from there-All the Rishis of Chitra koota commenced leaving the place due to problems of Rakshasas-Sita Rama Lakshmanas too decided to leave Chitrakoota and proceeded to Maharashi Ashram of Atri and Maha Pativrata Anasuya-Devis Anasuya and Sita exchange views- Anasuya gives gifts to Sita- Sita describes her 'swayamvara'-Thus Devi Sita having accepted the gifts from Devi Anasuya reaches Shri Rama for overnight stay at Atri Maharshi Ashram for further journey.

Aranya Khanda:

Shri Rama - Devi Sita-Lakshmanas felicitated in 'Muni ashramas' - As Rama-Sita -Lashmanas proceeded into the thick forest, they encounterd Rakshasa Viraath- Exchange of hot words by Rama Lakshmanas with Rakshasa Viraatha-Rama Lakshmanas kill Rakshasa Viraatha--Shri Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas visit Sharabhanga Muni's ashrama and after 'atithya' the Muni departs for Brahma Loka- Vaanaprastha Munis approach Shri Rama for safety from Rakshasaas and Rama Lakshmanas assure and pacify them Shri Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas reach the ashram of Muni Suteekshna who offers 'atithya' overnight- Next early morning Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas exit Suteekshna ashram-Gatheringa of innocent commoners and Munis seek protection from frequent- attacks by Rakshasaas and Devi Sita enumerates the tenets of dharma-Rama Lakshmanas assure and make 'pratiginas' of Kshatriya kula duty to safeguard the tenets of Dharma-Rama Sita Lakshmanas visit Panchapsara Tirtha and Maandikarana ashrama and after visiting other Muni Ashramas too, visit the ashram of the brother of Agastya Maharshi who lauds the glory of Agastya- Rama Lakshmanas visit Agastya Maharshi and after welcoming them, Agastya gifts 'diyvaastras'-Maharshi Agastya complements Devi Sita as a 'pativrata' and directs-ama Lakshmanas to construct Panchavati Ashram-On the way to Panchavati, Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas meet the Great Grudhra Raja Jatayu who vividly explains the family background of Jatayu-The compact and vastu based 'Panchavati Parnashaala' of Rama-Sita- Lakshmanas reside comfortably-Happy living by Rama Sita Lakshmanas at Panchavati through Hemanta Ritu and Godavari Snaanaas-Rakshasi Shurpanakha arrives at Panchavati, introduces, proposes to Rama to wed as his wife-Shurpanakha compromises to wed Lakshmana as he was single there but the latter cuts off her ears and nose-Khara incensed the treatment to sister and despatches fourteen rakshasaas to kill Rama Lakshmanas-Shri Rama devastates fourteen followers of Khara- Shurpanakha reaches brother Khara, conveys Rama's killing fourteen rakshasas, provokes Khara to seek revenge-Khara Dushana Rakshasaas along with fourteen thoushand sena attack Panchavati of Ramas-Khara then noticed dusshakunas like donkey brayings and squeaks of vultures from the sky, but having ignored these, Khara reaches Shri Rama 'ashrama' -As the dusshakunas loomed large, Rama hopes for the doom of Rakshasaas and victory for himself- as a precaution, he asked Lakshmana to hide Devi Sita in a cave and got readied for the battle-Rakshasaas attack Sri Rama, deva gandharva rishis apprehensive, but the invinvible Shri Rama devastates thousands of rakshasaas single handed-Senapati Dushana and thousands of rakshasaas devastated by singular Shri Rama-Trishira, Khara Maha Rakshas's Senapati exterminated-Fierce battle between Shri Rama and Khara Rakshasa by the usage of their expertise in dhanur vidya-Exchange of heated arguments between Shri Rama and Khara Rakshas whose mace attack defended by Rama -Shri Rama the action hero hits Khara Rakshasa to death and affirms victory celebrated by Celestials and Rishis- Akampana Rakshasa reaches Ravanasura to Lanka and poisons the latter's mind hatch a vicious plot to lure Devi Sita by a deer impersonted by Mareecha-Shurepanakha hurt physically with mutilated ears and nose arrives grievously at Maha Ravana Sabha:-Highly alarmed and frustrated Shurpanakha incites and ignites her brother Rayanasura-Rayana was inquisitive from Shupanakha about details of Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas as the latter asks Sita to be abducted

and wedded to Sita ,Ravanasura once again approaches Mareecha once again to seek the latter's help-Ravanaasura once again seeks the help of Mareecha to kidnap Devi Sita-'The self shaken up Mareecha appeals to Ravana to very kindly withdraw the plan in view of Rama's extraordinary mental acumen and physical energy-Maareecha explains his erstwhile experience of Vayavyastra and requests Rayana to pardon him-Maarecha seeks to further convince Ravanaasura as Mareecha enterered having assumed the form of a Maya Harina or a feigned deer-Ravanasura resents Mareecha's argumentative pattern and commands Mareecha to get involved in the mission of 'Sitaapaharana' while detailing the plan of abduction-Maareecha issues ultimate warning to the doom of Rayana and disaster of Lanka Kingdom-Rakshasa Maareecha forced by Rayanaasura to assume the deer form of glitter and attract Sita's attention-Even as Lakshmana doubted about the Maya Mriga, Sita was bent to secure it alive or dead and Rama had to yield to her intense wish proceeded with the chase, while entrusting responsibility to Lakshmana. chase.-Shri Rama kills Mareecha, no doubt, but the latter shouts for help in Rama's tone causing gitters to Sita-As expected, Lakshmana was taken aback by Sita's insinuations against him who was pressurised to reach Shri Rama-Ravanaasura approaches Devi Sita under Sadhu's garb, familiarises and mesmorises her-Devi Sita introduces herself as the daughter of King Janaka and the husband of the valiant Shri Rama and the cause of their arrival; Ravana proposes to Devi Sita as a co-wife and the latter reacts haughtily-Ravanasura explains his own background and valor and Devi Sita ignores and discounts-Ravanasura forcibly abducts Devi Sita who cries away helplessly but Maha Jataayu grudhra tries to intervene and seeks to help-Jataayu warns Ravanasura to withdraw from the evil act of 'Sitaapaharana'and otherwise be ready for encounter-Fierce battle between Jataayu and Ravanasura but Ravana kills Jatayu-Thus Ravanasura finally concludes 'Sitaapaharana' as Devi Sita was kept under vigilant custody-Rattled and shocked Devi Sita shouts being highy critical of Ravana and his heinous actions- As Devi Sita sought to drop down her jewellery and dress to notify Rama Lakshmanas, Ravana kept vigil by five monkeys, and at Lanka in antahpura by eight rakshasis -Ravanasura takes Devi Sita to his antahpura and seeks to pressurise her to become his queen-Having suffered Ravana's entreaties, Sita intensified her thoughts on Shri Rama and praised him while angry Ravana instructed rakshasis to take Sita away to Ashoka Vatika and frieghten her to surrender-Shri Rama having killed Maareecha returns while noticing bad omens gets concerned about Devi Sita- On a run back to the Ashram, Rama Lakshmanas were subject to innumerable kinds of doubts and reaching there were not able to see Devi Sita and got stunned and terrified- Rama Lakshmans recalled the events before the latter left for Rama at the false shouts of the dying Maareesha and Rama was truly upset by Lakshmana's grave indescretion-Shri Rama's deep distress at Devi Sita's disappearance- desperate search for her even addressing animals and vegetation around the ashram in frustration-Shri Rama and Lakshmanas got intensely frustrated with their extensive search for Devi Sita-Rama's anguish - his sustained efforts with Lakshmna- following Maya Mriga's southern direction-recognising fallen Sitas's dried up flowers and ornamentsand signs of a recently fought battle!-Lakshmana seeks to cool down the unbelievable rage and anger and recounts the fundamenatal features of self restraint while getting ready to display his outstanding bravery in human like and Gods like battle!-Rama Lakshmanas witnessed the grievously hurt Maha Grudhra Jataayu who fought for Devi Sita being kidnapped Mahaasura Ravana the Lankeshwara-Shri Rama performs the 'dahana samskaara' of Jatayu -Nasty encounter with Athomukha and blind Rakshasi Kabandha who caught Rama Lakshmanas by its long and surrounding arms within a huge embrace seeking to eat their flesh-By the enormous force of their sheer grit and decisiveness and of mutual consultations, Rama Lakshmanas severed both the mighty shoulders of Kabandha-Tormented by Sthula Rishi, Karbandha got 'vikrita rupa' but he performed tapsya to Brahma for deerghaayu, attacked Indra

and vajraayudha's hit raised his stomach over body, now relieved by Rama Lakshmanas - As Kabandha Rakshas's mortal remains secured 'daah samskara' by Rama Lakshmanas, his celestial form reveals details of Ravana vs Sita and advises Rama's friendship with the exiled Vaanara King Sugriva - Kabandha in his celestial form showed the way to Rishyamooka Parvata and Pampa Sarovara, as also of Matanga Muni Ashrama-Rama Lakshmanas proceed towards Matanga Vana and meet Tapasvini Shabari awaiting Shri Rama Lakshmanas all along her life with indefinable devotion. - Having witnessed the glorious departure of Maha Yogini to Bliss, Rama Lakshmanas proceeded along with Pampasarovara in their 'Sitaanveshana' towards Gandhamanana Mountain and meet Sugriva.

Kishkindha:

On reaching Pampa Sarovara Rama was excited at its natural grandeur especially Sita's absence, Lakashmana solaces- as they approached Rishyamooka, Vanaras and Sugriva. As Sugriva and follower vaanaraas were still wondering, Hanuman felt convinced and confident and directed Shri Rama Lakshmanas to appoach their head Sugriva the fugitive King of Vaanaras. Hanuman reached Rama Lakshmanas in a Tapasvi form, complemented Rama Lakshmanaas by their appearance as Hanuman was pleased; Lakshmana briefed Hanuman about their purpose of 'Sitaanveshana' and seeking Sugriva's close friendship and active assistanace- Hanuman's assurance for unswerving and dutiful cooperation. Firm establishment of Agni Saakshi Friendship of Shri Rama and Sugriva and Shri Rama vows to kill Vaali to pave the way to Sugriva for unopposed Kingship of Vaanara Rajya . As Sugriva showed golden ornaments secured by his followers as Devi Sita threw away down from Ravana's donkey's chariot vimana, Rama readily recognised, cried away and got intensed up with anguish. As Shri Rama expressed his anguish and anger too, Sugriva seeks to assuage Rama's inner feelings and assures 'karya siddhi' finally; reciprocatively Rama assures Sugriva to regain his kingdom and wife too! Rama assures help in killing Vaali and enquires of Sugriva about the details of their mutual enmity. Sugriva then provides an account of the root causes of his antagonism with his elder brother. As Sugriva recounted as to how Vaali displayed his vengeance against him, Sugriva describes Vaali's invincibility, his extermination of Daitya Dundhubhi, throwing off his dead body off to Matanaga Muni, curse of barring entry of Rishyamooka-Rama's test of throwing off Dundubhi's skeleton. Shri Rama's feat of destroying Seven Taala Trees in a row- Sugriva's challenge to Vaali but gets beaten as Sugriva runs to Rishyamooka- Sugriva vilaapa-Rama explains the problem of Vaali Sugriva identity. Much unlike Sugriva got thrashed by Vaali last time, the party of Rama-Sugriva party proceeded again, enjoyed Prakriti Soundarya back to Kishkindha and secures blessings from Sapta Janaashrama Muni. Fully backed by Shri Rama's confident assurances of victory, Sugriva challenged Vaali for a repeat encounter of 'dwandva yuddha' amid thunderous shoutings. Enraged by the repetitive challenges echoing the 'Rani Vaasa', Vaali got ready for the battle but Tara Devi entreated Vaali for a truce of mutual peace, friendship with Rama and 'yuva rajatva' to Sugriva. Ignoring away Devi Tara's earnest appeals for amity with Sugrivas-Ramas, haughty Vaali resorts to battle with Sugriva, gets grievously hurt by Rama baana and succumbs to earth. Falling before death, Vaali heavily criticizes Rama for his stealthiness, undeserved glory, falsity, and sheer selfishness colliding with Sugriva only to recover Devi Sita, which he too could have with bravery. Shri Rama, having let Vaali steam off his anguish from his deadly fall, replies point by point and fully justifying action in releasing his frightful arrow, yet with sympathy. Vaali calls Devi Tara and Angada Kumara near to his death bed cryingly and Devi Tara's 'vilaapa'. Hanuman seeks to assuage Devi Tara's extreme distress while the latter declared her intention of 'Sati Saha Gamana'. Vaali terminates his life after conveying his death bed wishes about Sugriva and Angada. With Tara's the unbearable distress, Vaali laid

down his life. Realising anguish of Tara Devi, Sugriva reacts severely and requests Shri Rama to allow him to die while Tara too requests so- Rama seeks to assuage them. Rama Lakshmanas pacify Sugriva, Tara, and Angada- Vaali's 'dahana samskara/ jalaanjali' by Angada. Hanuman requests Rama Lakshmanas to witness Rajyaabhishakas of Sugriya and Angada, Rama assents and blesses but not by entering Kishkindha. Rama Lakshmana's diologues at their of Prasravana Giri Cave. Shri Rama describes to Lakshmana about the features of Varsha Ritu. Hanuman prevails on Sugriva to initiate action for Sitaanveshana even before Rama's reminder and instruct Neela Vaanara to assemble the Vanara soldiers to group together. Sharad Ritu Varnana- Shri Rama instructs Lakshmana to reach King Sugriva. Lashmana proceeds to Sugriva's Rajva Bhavana at Kishkindha with anger vetrestrained by Rama's convincing. meets Aangada who in turn seeks Sugriva to some how pacify. Hanuman sincerely advises Sugriva to withstand Lakshmana's anger besides consolidate action towards 'Sitaanveshana'. Even admiring Kishkindha's beauty, Lakshmana seeks to enter Sugriva's Inner Chamber by resounding his dhanush and the frightened Sugriva advises Tara's help to cool him down convicinigly even before his appearance. Sugriva faces the wrath of Lakshmana and Tara continues to soothen Lakshmana by her tactical talks. Thus Tara managed the anger of Lakshmana convincingly and praised of Rama and his stature vis-à-vis that of Sugriva- Sugriva expresses of Rama's magnificence and his mere supplementary assistance. Sugriva instructs consolidating Vanara Sena and proceeds to Kishkindha and inform compliance to him. Lakshmana returns to Rama as accompanied by Sugriva as he was despatched to ascertain as to why Sugriva did not action for Sitanveshana yet! As Shri Rama had sincerely thanked the efforts in mobilising an ocean like Vanara Sena to fight his battle against Ravanasura, the grateful Sugriva returns back for further action. Now that the full backing of Vanara Sena along with enthused dedication of 'Swami Karya', Rama instructed Sugriva to take off the efforts of 'Sitaanveshana' in the eastern direction. Sugriva as totally absorbed in the singular task of 'Sitanveshana' and having already despatched one force of Vanaraas to 'purva disha' now forwards another batch to 'dakshina disha'. Sugriva who despatched another strong contingent of Vanara Warriors to the southern direction, now commissions a batch to the Western Side along with Sushena explaining probable areas for 'Sitanveshana'. Sugriva explains the significance of the northern direction for Sitanveshana under the leadership of Shatabali of several 'vaanara veeraas'. As Sugriva despatches the Vanara Sena to the Southern direction. under the command of Yuva Raja Angada, Shri Rama gives his ring to Hanuman to possibly show to Sita Devi to recognise and trust him. While despatching the four directional Vaanara Sena, the text of Sugriva's encouraging remarks were as follows- King Sugriva explains to Shri Rama of his own escapades of 'Bhu Bhramana' and hence his vast knowledge and memories of destinations, parvatas, oceans, rives and the geographical detailings! Vaanara Senaas that Sugriva organised to the north-west-and eastern sectors for 'Sitanveshana' had returned disappointed with negative results; but from the southern sector were awaited still. Angada seeks to revive the fallen hopes of 'Sitanveshana' of the dakshina vaanara sena, but soon after the tired hungry sena sights a celestial tree-sarovara-and bhavana of a Tapasvini whom Hanuman contacts. As Hanuman enquires of the 'vriddha tapasvini', she displays her 'bhavan', asks about Vanara Sena and their purpose, invites them for bhojan, reveals her identity, and facilitates them towards the Sea shores. As the prescribed time limit for return to Sugriva was over, Angada and other Vaanara Veeras got ready for 'praana tyaga' but clever Hanuman adopted 'bheda -neeti'or of divided opinion saving them all!Angada- having asserted of Sugriva's dubious nature and selfishness while the task of 'Sitaanveshana' was due to Lakshmana's anger- thus gets readied for 'praayopavesha' along with his fellow vaanaras. Gridhra Raja Sampaati arrives and frightens Vanaras initially but on hearingabout the

noble deed of 'Sitaanyeshana' makes friends - Sampaati then hears of Rayana's killing of Jatayu, his younger brother. Angada places the badly hurt body of Sampaati from the mountain top and describes the details of Jatayu as killed by Ravanaasura- Rama Sugriva friendship- Vaali's death- and his 'aamarana upayaasa'.Sampaati informs the Vanara Veeras as to how his wings were burnt, confirms Rayana-Sita's place details-and performs jalanjali to his brother Jatayu since known from Vanaras of his passing away. Sampaati conveys to the Vanara Sena Yoddhas of what his son Supaarshvya informed of Devi Sita and Ravana at Lanka. Sampaati's interacts with his preceptor 'Nishakara Rishi' and explains as to how the wings of both his and his brother Jatayu's wings were burnt in a competition with Surya in the latter's triloka parikrama! Nishakara Muni readily sympathises and wishes recovery to Sampata but instructs him to contribute in the context of Shri Rama Vijaya Karya all his life. Sampaati eventually recovers fresh wings and enthuses Vanara Veeras to proceed to the farther South and step forward to Lanka. With great excitement and drive, especially fired up by Sampaati, the vast vaanara sena pushed forward to the Sea bed; then Angada asked the select Yoddhhas to express their individual abilities to cross the Sea. As Angada asked select Vanara yoddhhas of their ability to crossand return, individual responses were heard- then Jambavan recommends Veera Hanuman for this impossible and daring act. Jambavan along with Angada approaches Anjaneya, recalls thebackground of the latter's birth and past glories, glorifying him up with extraordinary capabilities, while preparing him to cross the Maha Samudra. As Hanuman was enthused and readied to cross the Maha Sagara, he dashed forward to Mahendra Parvata and climbed it with ease.

Sundara

Veera Hanuman leaps off the Ocean towards Ravana's Lanka, gets welcomed on way by Mainaka, encounters Surasa and subdues, kills Simhika, and enjoys the aerial view of Lanka-Description of Lankapuri's beauty, thoughts about the size in which he shoud enter the interiors of the city and on the descripiton Chandrodaya-Hnuman sought to enter, Rakshasi Nishachari is encountered, he subdues her seriously; she recalls Brahma's warning that once a Vanara gives a hit to her, then Lanka gets its doom and lets him in! Then Hanuman enters Ravana's 'antahpura' comprising many palaces but gets disappointedHanuman then enters the 'antahpura' or the interior palaces of Ravanasura systematically but gets disappointed with no sign and indication of Devi Sita-Hanuman then extended the scope of search for Devi Sita in Ravana's own palace, besides at the houses of his follower Rakshasaas Description of Ravana Bhavana viz. Pushpaka Vimana- Hanuman witnesses the inside out of the Pushpaka Vimana - indeed it was surfiet with Sundara Kanyas-In the process of 'Devi Sitaanveshana' in the Pushpaka Vimana in Ravana's residence, Hanuman witnessed countless 'strees' of youthful charm being playful inside; why had Ravana forcefully abducted Sita, despite his reputation of never forcing a woman but willingly married! In the process of searching for Devi Sita, Hanuman was confused by seeing Devi Mandodari to Devi Sita!Hanuman on seeing Mandori, took time self assure about Devi Sita, continued the search even while self introspecting of his own honesty in the atmosphere of fooddance and lust; yet dismissed such thoughts-Hanuman in his remote thoughts wondered and was even concerned of Devi - Sita's very existence but quickly recovered from such apprehensions resumed 'Sitanveshana'vet again with confidence and belief!Despite his sincere efforts of finding Devi Sita, the indications were slimmed and might even return disappointed. Yet, Sampati assured and visited 'Ashoka Vaatika' -While admiring Ashoka Vaatika's prakriti soundarya, Hanuman mused as to how Devi Sita would be happy as she was stated to be an admirer of Prakriti Soundarya-Hanuman yet in his miniature form finally visioned Devi Sita near a 'Chaitya Praasaada Mandira' and identified her and felt ecstatic-Hanuman having finally ensured that Devi Sita was visioned, felt that as to why she, an outstanding Pativrata, why and how Ravana has been disgusting, yet sad.-Hanuman was nodoubt happy to see Devi Sita most closely with sympathy, yet contrarily was repulsed with hatred at the sight of the

Rakshasa strees encircling her- Ravanasura along with his beloved females enters Ashoka Vatika and the spot where Devi Sita was being guarded as seen by Anjaneya in his miniature form-Even with a single nasty and desolate glance of the detestable Ravanasura, Devi Sita was drownded in gloom-fearand apprehension as noticed by Hanuman-Ravana then addresses Devi Sita opening his heart fancying her, praises her origin, charm and conduct, and seeks to convince her to discard fear complex, to be sympathetic to him, and wait for her consent- Sita emboldens herself and replies highlighting Ravana's wretched manner of abducting her and of his features of cruelty, selfishmess, and ego; mocks his ability and readiness to face hero Rama-As Sita heckled Rayana's claim of heroism and his stealthy timidity, asserted her 'pativratya', and challenged him to face Rama- as Ravana threatenend her granting three months to change or get killed-Select Rakshasis of learning like Ekajata-Harijata-Vikata and Durmikhi extoll the qualities of bravery of Ravanasura while seeking to convincing pressurise Devi Sita to accept the offer of Prime Queenship-While a few of enlightened Rakshasis sought to convince Devi Sita to wed Ravana, the rest of the cruel lot threatened her to death and fancy to taste her flesh, cook it with spices, and eat with wine and dance! Totally rattled by the perilous intimidation of the Rakshasis to nearly kill her and celebrate, Devi Sita nearly resorted to 'praana tyaaga' especially cursing her fate still disabling her from Shri Rama darshana- Even as the cruelmost Rakshasis surrounded Devi Sita to attack, the eldest of them named Trijata screamed from her ominous dream and described tragic forebodes of 'Lanka Vinaashana' too soon-Despite Trijata's 'dussvapna' foreboding shouts of disasters about Ravana and Lanka Rajya, Devi Sita continued to cry shell shocked; however gradually recoverd due to her own forevisions of auspiciousness-Hanuman witnessesd series of Ravana's sweet offers to wed Sita, her no-nonse reaction, his three month notice, violent threats of Rakshasis, Trijata's forebodings, now desires to appear before her, but how! Veera Hanuman sings Shri Rama Katha exclusively for Devi Sita but she wonders its genuinness! Then Hanuman appears before Devi Sita in his own form and conveys about Shri Rama's welfare, his arrival here, and assures Rama's arrival soon-Devi Sita still unconvinced fully about Hanuman' guineness, he describes Rama's physical features and mental acumen and bravery, pleading his own authenticity-Devi Sita finally concedes Hanuman's genuineness- then he describe's 'guna ganaas', how Rama missed her, Sugriva's help repaying Rama's help by killing Vaali- Sampati's guidance to reach her-Hanuman bestows Shri Rama's finger ring toDevi Sita as a memory refresher- the highly excited Devi Sita falls back to her memory screen, as Hanuman assures Rama's arrival too soon! As Devi Sita seeks Hanuman to hasten Shri Rama's arrival at Lanka, Hanuman suggests carrying her and reach Rama swiftly, but she declines giving reasons, especially stressing Rama's invincibility-Before handing over her 'choodaamani' to Hanuman, Devi Sita recalled how Rama expressed his concern by using 'brahmaastra' on a crow- Indra's son- pestered her; the crow went from pillar to post and fell at Rama's feet; though Rama pardoned, still had to block any crows's vision of left eye eversince! Having taken the posesssion of precious Sita 'Choodaamani' as a proof of meeting her, Hanuman felt elated to display his grit, devotion and resolution to all concerned, especially for the delight of Rama!Devi Sita reiterated what Anjaneya should convey to Rama about her life's threats while handing over hair clip to Shri Rama; Hanuman reiterates his reaching Rama's soonest.-Veera Hanuman devastates Ashoka Vaatika- on witnessing this, the frightened Rakshasis surrounding Devi Sita ran away to Ravanasura stating some Celestial Being had reached at the Ashoka Vaatika to destroy it-Ravanasura on learning of a stranger devastating Pramadaayana, despatches a strong regiment of his army of well trained eight thousand rakshasa force named Kinkaraas-Mahabali Vayu Putra then devastates 'Chitvapraasaada'the Rakshasa Kuladevatashthana and the rakshasas around it-Veeranjaneya smashes the expertise of 'baana-prayoga' of the Maha Rakshasa Jambumali, as Ravanaasura decided to utilise the extraordinary skills of archrey of the Prahasta Putra to pull down the enemy-As Hanuman successevily killed Kinkaras and Jambumaali and demolished Pramadaavana and Chatya Praasada along with inmates, enraged Ravana instructed the mighty sons of his Minsters to face Hanuman-With successive deaths of his select Rakshasa Veeras, Ravanasura had wondered that even one Vanara of Hanuman demoralised him as a wake up call and despatched his five Senapatis who too were killed! Anxiously awaiting Hanuman's destruction by the Five Senapatis and army forces, Ravana got negative messages. As he was dismayed, his son Akshaya Kumara, well versed in war tactics, then too his

turn-Shattered with putra shoka and humiliation, Ravana finally asked Indrajit to use his brahmastra to end up the menace of Hanuman and save the Rakshasa Samrajya and his personal prestige and fame at stake! Veera Hanuman was no doubt impressed by Ravasasura's accompishments and his own personalised feelings-Pretending as bounded by Indrajit's Brahmaastra, though Brahma granted his boon, Human faced Rayana whose Minister asked him why he visited Lanka; he confirmed, he was Shri Rama's messenger-Addressing Ravana, Veera Hanuman detailed Shri Rama's 'Prabhava' and warned that if Devi Sita were in any way hurt, that would be the instant final doom of Ravana and Lanka; Ravana went mad with fury-Infuriated by Hanuman's insinuasions of Rayanas's record of failures and praising Rama's successes, Ravanasura orders the vanara be killed-Vibhishana pleads against killing a messenger, as Ravana heeds-As Vibhishana appealed, Ravana consents to burn Hanuman's tail to display the blazings to Lanka's public. As Rakshasis conveyed, Sita prays to Agni to lessen the heat. Hanuman starts the revenge-Hanuman's vengeful 'Lanka Dahana and Vidhvamasha' as the Rakshasaas were shocked wonderstruck whether he was of Rudra Swarupa or Rama Bhakta! Veera Anjaneya's successful 'Lanka Dahana' but concerned of Devi Sita' safety- her 'punardarshana'-Hanuman reassuring Devi Sita of soonest arrival of Rama Laksamanas. jumped off from Arishta Parvata to cross the Maha Sagara as vanara pramukhas were waiting anxiously-As Vayu Putra dashed through thick sky high clouds to return to the ever awaiting Vanara yoddhas, the latter were ever concerned, but his return overjoyed them especially Angada and Jambavan-On his victorius return from Ravana's Lankapuri, Hanuman briefly detailed the happenings, especially Devi Sita darshana, killing spree of Rakshasas, challenge to Ravana, burning his tail and Lanka dhvamsa-Veeranjaneya makes a fervent appeal Vaanaraveeraslike Jambavaan-Angada-Neela- or Ashvini Kumara Putras Mainda- Dvividaas to relieve Devi Sita from Ravana's cluches for her inhuman harassment- As Hanuman returned successfully, Angada suggested another collective attack, destroy Rayana and others, bring Devi Sita back, but Jambayan advised to return and report back only!On return to Kishkindha vaanara veeras plundred Madhuvana of fresh sweet fruits and destroyed it. The incharge Vanara Dadhimukha - Sugriva's uncle - was beaten in return-Dadhimukha and staff ran away to Sugriva for protection; he wondered if south bound Vanara Sena with Angada and Hanuman was returning with success'!On Sugriva's instruction, dakshina sena reached reporting success-and of Devi Sita's safety-Viranjaneya details the actual status of Devi Sita's physical and psychological condition to Shri Rama in the presence of Lakshmana Sugrivas- Reacting to Hanumam's handing over Devi Sita's 'choodaamani' Shgri Rama got worked up with his sweet memories, showing anxiety to hear what was her message to him-Hanuman detailed her actual status and parting appeal still concerned of urgent action to save her very life!

Sarga One

As Shri Rama heard Hanuman's Report of Devi Sita's darshana, her desperation, killings of rakshasa veeras and Lanka dahana, he hugged him at the success and got concerned of reaching Lanka for action.

śrutvā hanumato vākyam yathāvad abhibhāṣitam, rāmaḥ prītisamāyukto vākyam uttaram abravīt/ kṛtam hanumatā kāryam sumahad bhuvi duṣkaram, manasāpi yad anyena na śakyam dharaṇītale/ na hi tam paripaśyāmi yas tareta mahārṇavam, anyatra garuṇād vāyor anyatra ca hanūmataḥ/ devadānavayakṣāṇām gandharvoragarakṣasām, apradhṛṣyām purīm lankām rāvaṇena surakṣitām/ praviṣṭaḥ sattvam āśritya jīvan ko nāma niṣkramet, ko viśet sudurādharṣām rākṣasaiś ca surakṣitām, yo vīryabalasampanno na samaḥ syād dhanūmataḥ/ bhṛtyakāryam hanumatā sugrīvasya kṛtam mahat,evam vidhāya svabalam sadṛśam vikramasya ca/ yo hi bhṛtyo niyuktaḥ san bhartrā karmaṇi duṣkare/ kuryāt tadanurāgeṇa tam āhuḥ puruṣottamam/ niyukto nṛpateḥ kāryam na kuryād yaḥ samāhitaḥ,bhṛtyo yuktaḥ samarthaś ca tam āhuḥ puruṣādhamam/ tanniyoge niyuktena kṛtam kṛtyam hanūmatā, na cātmā laghutām nītaḥ sugrīvaś cāpi toṣitaḥ/ aham ca raghuvamśaś ca lakṣmaṇaś ca mahābalaḥ, vaidehyā darśanenādya dharmataḥ parirakṣitāḥ/ idam tu mama dīnasyā mano bhūyaḥ prakarṣati, yad ihāsya priyākhyātur na kurmi sadṛśam priyam/ eṣa sarvasvabhūtas tu pariṣvaṅgo hanūmataḥ, mayā kālam imam prāpya dattas tasya mahātmanaḥ/ sarvathā sukṛtam tāvat sītāyāḥ parimārgaṇam, sāgaram tu samāsādya punar naṣṭam

mano mama/katham nāma samudrasya duṣpārasya mahāmbhasaḥ, harayo dakṣiṇam pāram gamiṣyanti samāhitāḥ./yady apy eṣa tu vrttānto vaidehyā gadito mama, samudrapāragamane harīṇām kim ivottaram/ity uktvā śokasambhrānto rāmaḥ śatrunibarhaṇaḥ, hanūmantam mahābāhus tato dhyānam upāgamat/

As Shri Rama heard about Vira Hanuma's memorable success as he was truly impressed and affirmed that none indeed of none could have ever possibly achieved this kind of aceivement on earth, excepting Garuda and Vayu Deva. Even Deva-danaya-yaksha-gandharya-naaga-rakshasaas could ever dare conquer Lankapuri but Veera Ajaneya who had literally shattered and put it to flames.ko viśet sudurādharsām rāksasaiś ca suraksitām, vo vīryabalasampanno na samah syād dhanūmatah/ bhrtyakāryam hanumatā sugrīvasya kṛtam mahat,evam vidhāya svabalam sadṛsam vikramasya ca/ yo hi bhṛtyo niyuktah san bhartrā karmani duskare/ kurvāt tadanurāgena tam āhuh purusottamam/None indeed Hanuman could ever enter and exit after success after challenging Maha Rakshasaas in this fashion. He had truly vindicated himself not only as hero but follower and dedicated to a master and King of Vaanaraas Sugriva should be proud, grateful and fortunate to have a Hanuman for such an unbelievable act. He has accomplished a duty for his master in this manner and with thunderous success being of the prime rank. Further, a follower who is no doubt faithful and trustworthy is stated as a sincere achiever of medium range while those sevakas who no doubt are disciplined and sincere are the third rank ordinary followers. Further having been dedicated to Swami Karya, he had not only ensured the esteem of me and his King but never bilittled his own too always. aham ca raghuvamśaś ca laksmanaś ca mahābalah, vaidehyā darśanenādya dharmataḥ parirakṣitāḥ/ idam tu mama dīnasyā mano bhūyaḥ prakarṣati, yad ihāsya priyākhyātur na kurmi sadṛśam priyam/ eṣa sarvasvabhūtas tu pariṣvango hanūmataḥ, mayā kālam imam prāpya dattas tasya mahātmanah/Now, only he had truly discovered Devi Sita, met her, convinced her, and kept up the prestige of me and Lakshmana. Now I am not in a position to a gift worthy of awarding yet he had truly to him yet truly worthy of offering him yet bestowed to me a life extender and anguish pacifier. I can only offer him an invaluable and heart to heart embrace. Then Shti Rama addressed the Vanara Sena and prominent personalities of distinction: dear comrades! Doubtless, Hero Hanuman had accomplished 'karya siddhi' just for my sake, but my enthusiasm is getting blunted right now as to how -best to cross the Maha Samudra and reach the other side of the shores and Devi Sita's vey life breathing! What indeed could really be the parctical wayforward and reach the other side! Thus Shri Rama became terriby penitent for reaching the other side of the hundred yojana distance of the Maha Sagara!

Sarga Two

As Shri Rama was since concerned as to how to cross the Samudra to reach Lanka and meet Devi Sita by devastating Ravana, Sugriva assuages Rama's concern and assures action for 'setu bandhana'

Tam tu śokaparidyūnam rāmam daśarathātmajam, uvāca vacanam śrīmān sugrīvaḥ śokanāśanam/kim tvam samtapyase vīra yathānyaḥ prākrtas tathā, maivam bhūs tyaja samtāpam krtaghna iva sauhrdam/samtāpasya ca te sthānam na hi paśyāmi rāghava, pravrttāv upalabdhāyām jñāte ca nilaye ripoḥ/dhṛtimāñ śāstravit prājñaḥ paṇḍitaś cāsi rāghava, tyajemām pāpikām buddhim krtvātmevārthadūṣaṇīm/samudram laṅghayitvā tu mahānakrasamākulam, laṅkām ārohayiṣyāmo haniṣyāmaś ca te ripum/nirutsāhasya dīnasya śokaparyākulātmanaḥ, sarvārthā vyavasīdanti vyasanam cādhigacchati/ime śūrāḥ samarthāś ca sarve no hariyūthapāḥ, tvatpriyārtham krtotsāhāḥ praveṣṭum api pāvakam/eṣām harṣeṇa jānāmi tarkaś cāsmin drḍho mama, vikrameṇa samāneṣye sītām hatvā yathā ripum/setur atra yathā vadhyed yathā paśyema tām purīm, tasya rākṣasarājasya tathā tvam kuru rāghava/drṣṭvā tām hi purīm laṅkām trikūṭaśikhare sthitām, hatam ca rāvaṇam yuddhe darśanād upadhāraya/setubaddhaḥ samudre ca yāval laṅkā samīpataḥ, sarvam tīrṇam ca vai sainyam jitam ity upadhāryatām ime hi samare śūrā harayaḥ kāmarūpiṇaḥ/tad alam viklavā buddhī rājan sarvārthanāśanī, puruṣasya hi loke 'smiñ śokaḥ śauryāpakarṣaṇaḥ/yat tu kāryam manuṣyeṇa śauṇḍīryam avalambatā, śūrāṇām hi manuṣyāṇām tvadvidhānām mahātmanām, vinaste vā pranaste vā śokah sarvārthanāśanah/tvam tu buddhimatām

śreṣṭhaḥ sarvaśāstrārthakovidaḥ,madvidhaiḥ sacivaiḥ sārtham arim jetum ihārhasi/ na hi paśyāmy aham kam cit triṣu lokeṣu rāghava, gṛhītadhanuṣo yas te tiṣṭhed abhimukho raṇe/ vānareṣu samāsaktam na tekāryam vipatsyate, acirād drakṣyase sītām tīrtvā sāgaram akṣayam/ tad alam śokam ālambya krodham ālamba bhūpate/ niśceṣṭāḥ kṣatriyā mandāḥ sarve caṇḍasya bibhyati/ laṅganārtham ca ghorasya samudrasya nadīpateḥ, sahāsmābhir ihopetaḥ sūkṣmabuddhir vicāraya/ ime hi samare śūrā harayaḥ kāmarūpiṇa/, tān arīn vidhamiṣyanti śilāpādapavṛṣṭibhiḥ/ katham cit paripaśyāmas te vayam varuṇālayam, kim uktvā bahudhā cāpi sarvathā vijayī bhavān,nimittaani cha pasyaami mano me samprahyashyati/

As Shri Rama was concerned about the ways and means of crossing the Maha Sumudra, Sugriva addressed Shri Rama thus: 'Veeravara! Why are you getting worked up like normal humans being an extraordrinay personality of name and fame. Kindly do not get concerned for normal hurdles. Persons of ingratitude are certainly not with you and as such it is for them to worry about and seek solutions. Now the the gigantic task of 'Sitanveshana' had been accomplished and we are now only to find solution for reaching Lanka to release Devi Sita. Raghu kulabhushana! You are a 'buddhiman- shastra inaana vichaara kushala', and being such an outstanding personaliy of your achievements should not be a prey to 'prakrita buddhi' as of a common human being. Rest assured that my soldiers what with their sharp and long nail and teeth of grit, would doubtless cross the 'maha sagara' and attack the rakshasaas.nirutsāhasya dīnasya śokaparyākulātmanah, sarvārthā vyavasīdanti vyasanam cādhigacchati/ Those Males who lack interest, keenness, and initiative invariably end up in failures and would have to face further obstacles. Contrarily, our Vaanara sena has the inborn passion and fervor. They are ever prepared to jump into flames and most assuredly cross the ocean, demolish Ravana and Lanka with all its mighty and 'mayaavi rakshasis' and return with laurels along with Devi Sita. This should truly please you. Let us therefore plan to build a bridge right across the 'varuna sthaana' samudra and cross over with you in the lead like Indra followed by Devas to demolish Ravana like asuras and declare freedom from asuras once for all. setubaddhah samudre ca yāval lankā samīpatah, sarvam tīrnam ca vai sainyam jitam ity upadhāryatām ime hi samare śūrā harayaḥ kāmarūpiṇaḥ/ Let us therefore construct a bridge right acroo the maha samutra to reach near Lankapuri and assure success as the Vanara sena is gifted to change their swarupas as they please and attack any number of asruras by displaying their valour and speed. tad alam viklavā buddhī rājan sarvārthanāśanī, puruṣasya hi loke 'smiñ śokaḥ śauryāpakarṣaṇaḥ/ yat tu kāryam manusyena śaundīryam avalambatā, śūrānām hi manusyānām tvadvidhānām mahātmanām, vinaste vā pranaste vā śokah sarvārthanāśanah/ Shri Rama Maha Raja! There fore, kindly let not get your true bravery be hidden, keeping concerned about the how and the manner in which this act of setu bandhana could be achieved. As you are indeed aware that humans need never to lose self confidence and that lays the route to success. tvam tu buddhimatām śresthah sarvaśāstrārthakovidah, madvidhaih sacivaih sārtham arim jetum ihārhasi/ na hi paśyāmy aham kam cit trişu lokeşu rāghava, grhītadhanuşo yas te tisthed abhimukho rane/ Mahatma! You are replete with 'shastra marma jnaana'; do kindly repose confidence in me and my ministers and be assured of reaching grand success. Raghunandana! Once you stand firm at the battle front I could never imagine that in tri lokas there could be parallel!vānareṣu samāsaktam na te kāryam vipatsyate, acirād drakṣyase sītām tīrtvā sāgaram akṣayam/ tad alam śokam ālambya krodham ālamba bhūpate, niścestāh ksatriyā mandāh sarve candasya bibhyati/ laṅganārthaṁ ca ghorasya samudrasya nadīpateh, sahāsmābhir ihopetah sūksmabuddhir vicāraya/ As the Vaanara Veeras once having a responsibility, be assured that they surely are trustworthy and pretty soon your desire of Devi Sita's darshana is just round the corner. Prithvi Nadha! Now, as the action for advancing is getting materialised it would be wasteful to worry about but now is the time to get fuming with anger against the enemies. As you are well aware, kshatriyas as a race once confronted against enemies break in to frenzy and they always succeed. Now, kindly be associated with us and help us as to how to cross the ocean as you indeed have a sharp intellect. The very initial crossing the maha samudra is precursor of sure success ahead. katham cit paripaśyāmas te vayam varunālayam, kim uktvā bahudhā cāpi sarvathā vijayī bhavān,nimittaani cha pasyaami mano me samprahyashyati/ Of what avail my repetition of known facts, as I am convinced of roaring success as 'shubha suchanas' on my own of inner psyche are trustworthy!'

Sarga Three

<u>Veera Hanuman provides the full account of Lanka's impregnability, statisities of gates, inbuilt locational advantages and so on, yet emphasing the attacking abilities of vanara sena too.</u>

Sugrīvasya vacaḥ śrutvā hetumat paramārthavit, pratijagrāha kākutstho hanūmantam athābravīt/ tarasā setubandhena sāgarocchosanena vā, sarvathā susamartho 'smi sāgarasvāsva laṅghane/ kati durgāni durgāyā lankāyās tad bravīhi me, jñātum icchāmi tat sarvam darśanād iva vānara/balasya parimānam ca dvāradurgakriyām api, gupti karma ca laṅkāyā raksasām sadanāni ca/ yathāsukham yathāvac ca lankāyām asi dṛstavān, saram ācaksva tattvena sarvathā kuśalo hy asi/śrutvā rāmasya vacanam hanūmān mārutātmajah, vākyam vākyavidām śrestho rāmam punar athābravīt/ śrūyatām sarvam ākhyāsye durgakarmavidhānatah, guptā purī yathā laṅkā rakṣitā ca yathā balaiḥ/ parāṁ samṛddhiṁ lankāyāh sāgarasya ca bhīmatām, vibhāgam ca balaughasya nirdeśam vāhanasya ca/prahrstā muditā lankā mattadvipasamākulā, mahatī rathasampūrnā raksoganasamākulā/ drdhabaddhakavātāni mahāparighavanti ca, dvārāṇi vipulāny asyāś catvāri sumahānti ca/ vapreṣūpalayantrāṇi balavanti mahānti ca, āgatam parasainyam tais tatra pratinivāryate/ dvāreṣu samskṛtā bhīmāḥ kālāyasamayāḥ śitāh, śataśo rocitā vīraih śataghnyo raksasām ganaih, sauvarnaś ca mahāms tasyāh prākāro duspradharsanah, manividrumavaidūryamuktāvicaritāntarah/sarvataś ca mahābhīmāh śītatoyā mahāśubhāḥ, agādhā grāhavatyaś ca parikhā mīnasevitāḥ/ dvāreṣu tāsām catvāraḥ samkramāḥ paramāyatāḥ, yantrair upetā bahubhir mahadbhir dṛḍhasaṁdhibhiḥ/ trāyante saṁkramās tatra parasainyāgame sati, yantrais tair avakīryante parikhāsu samantataḥ/ ekas tv akampyo balavān samkramah sumahādrdhah, kāñcanair bahubhih stambhair vedikābhiś ca śobhitah/ svayam prakṛtisampanno yuyutsū rāma rāvanah, utthitas cāpramattas ca balānām anudarsane/ lankā purī nirālambā devadurgā bhayāvahā, nādeyam pārvatam vanyam kṛtrimam ca caturvidham/ sthitā pāre samudrasya dūrapārasya rāghava, naupathaś cāpi nāsty atra nirādeśaś ca sarvatah/ śailāgre racitā durgā sā pūr devapuropamā, vājivāraņasampūrņā lankā paramadurjayā/ parighāś ca śataghnyaś ca vantrāni vividhāni ca, sobhavanti purīm lankām rāvanasva durātmanah/ avutam raksasām atra paścimadyāram āśritam, śūlahastā durādharsāh sarve khadgāgrayodhinah/ nivutam raksasām atra dakṣiṇadvāram āśritam, caturaṅgeṇa sainyena yodhās tatrāpy anuttamāḥ/ prayutaṁ rakṣasām atra pūrvadvāram samāśritam, carmakhadgadharāh sarve tathā sarvāstrakovidāh/ arbudam raksasām atra uttaradvāram āśritam, rathinaś cāśvavāhāś ca kulaputrāh supūjitāh/ śataṁ śatasahasrānāṁ madhyamam gulmam āśritam, yātudhānā durādharsāh sāgrakotiś ca raksasām/ te mayā samkramā bhagnāh parikhāś cāvapūritāh, dagdhā ca nagarī lankā prākārāś cāvasāditāh/ yena kena tu mārgena tarāma varunālayam, hateti nagarī lankām vānarair avadhāryatām/ angado dvivido maindo jāmbavān panaso nalaḥ, nīlaḥ senāpatiś caiva balaśeṣeṇa kiṁ tava/ plavamānā hi gatvā tāṁ rāvaṇasya mahāpurīm, saprakārām sabhavanām ānayişyanti maithilīm/ evam ājñāpaya kṣipram balānām sarvasamgraham, muhūrtena tu vuktena prasthānam abhirocava/

As 'buddhimaan' Sugriva thus addressed Shri Rama never to get concerned with the task of setu bandhana but trust his own unchallenged valor and encourage him with his own 'marga darshaka pratibha' as his outstanding vamara sena are ever ready to bear the brunt with uncommon gusto and zest, Shri Rama addressed Veeranjaneya thus: Vaanara Veera! you had already visited Lanka and are fully aware of the details; tell me what was the distance from one dwara durga to another. Then Anjaneaya detailed as follows: 'Bhagavan Shri Rama! I shall give you the details as to how Lannkapuri's safety was ensured, how the rakshasa sena's safety was ensured, what kind of rakshasa sena was the impact of the love and admiration for Ravana's dedication and devotion from them, what kind of prosperity that the public of Lankapuri enjoyed, how dreadful was the Maha Samudra and its shores, how many foot soldiers were posted there on the shores, how many vahanas were engaged of those foot soldiers on the shores, etc. Then Hanuman started the detailing: Rama prabho!Lankapuri is fully contented with pleasures of life, several elephants, chariots, and each and every citizen lives with longevity as they do not understand

what are physical illnesses and threats to life. The city has huge, strong, four entry gates, with sturdy windows yet impossibe to break mountian boulders or mantrik arrows even by invoking Indradi Devas and even Brahma. The purpose of outside vision from the wonderfully trained foot soldiers, calary, elephantry, charioteers and so on, while the ably fyling soldiers send signals of even far distant approaches of the enemies and are thus truly impregnable. The 'dwaraas' as contructed by raakshasa veeras and rakshasa architects apart, there are thousands of 'shataghniyaas' or of 'loha gadaas' or iron maces of four feet breadth ever ready to fire enemy attacks fully louded to resist and bring it down to ashes in a 'truti' of time almost instantly. Each of the 'dwaaraas' or the exit-entry high gates, there are 'kandakaas' or of bottomless deep waters with 'maha matsyas' like whales, sharks and huge crocodiles floating and instally disappearing. At the same time there are four entry-exit gates equipped with massive wooden bridges of automatic provision to be hoisted and folded down to enter and exit. As and when 'shatrusena' seeks tt attack abd enter, countless precautions are thus ready to defend and reattack by throwing back in to the deep waters. Swayam prakṛtisampanno yuyutsū rāma rāvaṇaḥ, utthitaś cāpramattas ca balānām anudarsane/ lankā purī nirālambā devadurgā bhayāvahā, nādeyam pārvatam vanyam krtrimam ca caturvidham/ sthitā pāre samudrasya dūrapārasya rāghaya, naupathaś cāpi nāsty atra nirādeśaś ca sarvataļ/ Raghunadha! Ravanasura himself keeps his poise while defending or attacking as he keeps reviewing the readiness of his sena always. Thus as of now, Lanka is just not possible to attack even by Devas; having been protected naturally too by mountains and the maha dakshina samudra Ravanasura had made it impregnable further. ayutam raksasām atra paścimadvāram āśritam, śūlahastā durādharṣāḥ sarve khadgāgrayodhinaḥ/ niyutam rakṣasām atra dakṣiṇadvāram āśritam, caturangena sainyena yodhās tatrāpy anuttamāh/ prayutam rakṣasām atra pūrvadvāram samāśritam, carmakhadgadharāh sarve tathā sarvāstrakovidāh/ BehindLanapuri's eastern gate there is ten thousand rakshasa 'nivaasa', each of them are ready to defend and attack. On the southern gate there is a 'chaturanga sena' of a lakh strength. On the western front the strength is ten times more. arbudam raksasām atra uttaradvāram āśritam, rathinaś cāśvavāhāś ca kulaputrāh supūjitāh/ śatam śatasahasrānām madhyamam gulmam āśritam, yātudhānā durādharsāh sāgrakotiś ca raksasām/ te mayā samkramā bhagnāḥ parikhāś cāvapūritāḥ, dagdhā ca nagarī lankā prākārāś cāvasāditāḥ/ yena kena tu mārgena tarāma varunālavam, hateti nagarī lankām vānarair avadhārvatām/ Now the northern dwaara is truly impenetrable as being safeguarded by an arbuda or ten crore rakshasa yoddhaas either mounted by excellently trained horses or chariots. Moreover the central Lankapuri is the stronghold of Maha Rakshasa Sena with countless Rakashasa Sena of over a crore in reserve. But, I was still able to overcome the obstacles while appropriately adjusting my physical form from diminutive to gigantic stature, smashed the 'praanganaas' and burnt off some one quarter of Lankapuri. We among the 'maha vaanara sena' too do possess the skill and wherewithall to smash down likewise some how. angado dvivido maindo jāmbavān panaso nalaḥ, nīlaḥ senāpatiś caiva balaśeṣeṇa kim tava/ plavamānā hi gatvā tām rāvaṇasya mahāpurīm, saprakārām sabhavanām ānayişyanti maithilīm/ evam ājñāpaya kṣipram balānām sarvasamgraham, muhūrtena tu yuktena prasthānam abhirocaya/ Shatru bhayankara Shri Rama! The vanara sena under the commande of King Sugriva is blessed with maha veeraas like Angada, Dvivida, Mainda, Jambayan, Panasa, Nala, and Senapati Neela would suffice to bring you laurals as mere illustrations, apart from the 'apaara vanara sena. Raghu Nandana! Angadaadi maha vaanaras could fly and on reaching Lankapuri could smash down the procective hills, forests, Lanka dwaras, living residences and the so called Rakshasa veeraas and their kith and kin, and finally rescue Devi Sita safe. In view of all these facts and figures may I assure you that soon enough, let an auspicious time be declared to initiate the duty of 'Setu bandhana' and soon thereafter cross the bridge and attack.

Sarga Four

Rama Lakshmana Sugrivas followed by Maha Vanara Sena advances to the shores of Maha Samudra with confidence to initiate the massive task of 'Setu Bandhana'

śrutvā hanūmato vākyam yathāvad anupūrvaśah,tato 'bravīn mahātejā rāmah satyaparākramah/ yām nivedayase lankām purīm bhīmasya raksasah, ksipram enām vadhisyāmi satyam etad bravīmi te/ asmin muhūrte sugrīva prayāṇam abhirocaye, yukto muhūrto vijayah prāpto madhyam divākarah/ uttarā phalgunī hy adya śvas tu hastena yokṣyate, abhiprayāma sugrīva sarvānīkasamāvṛtāḥ/ nimittāni ca dhanyāni vāni prādurbhavanti me, nihatya rāvanam sītām ānavisyāmi jānakīm/ uparistād dhi nayanam sphuramāṇam idam mama, vijayam samanuprāptam śamsatīva manoratham/ agre yātu balasyāsya nīlo mārgam avekṣitum, vṛtaḥ śatasahasreṇa vānarāṇām tarasvinām/ phalamūlavatā nīla śītakānanavāriṇā, pathā madhumatā cāśu senām senāpate naya/ dūṣayeyur durātmānah pathi mūlaphalodakam,rākṣasāh pariraksethās tebhyas tvam nityam udyatah/nimnesu vanadurgesu vanesu ca vanaukasah, abhiplutyābhi paśyeyuh paresām nihatam balam/ sāgaraughanibham bhīmam agrānīkam mahābalāh, kapisimhā prakarsantu śataśo 'tha sahasraśah/ gajaś ca girisamkāśo gavayaś ca mahābalah, gavāksaś cāgrato yāntu gavām drptā ivarsabhāh/ yātu vānaravāhinyā vānarah plavatām patih, pālayan daksinam pārśvam rşabho vānararşabhah/ gandhahastīva durdharşas tarasvī gandhamādanah, yātu vānaravāhinyāh savyam pārśvam adhiṣṭhitaḥ/ yāsyāmi balamadhye 'ham balaugham abhiharṣayan, adhiruhya hanūmantam airāvatam iveśvarah/ aṅgadenaisa saṃvātu laksmanaś cāntakopamah, sārvabhaumena bhūteśo draviṇādhipatir yathā/ jāmbavāmś ca suṣenaś ca vegadarśī ca vānaraḥ, ṛkṣarājo mahāsattvah kukṣim rakṣantu te trayaḥ/ rāghavasya vacaḥ śrutvā sugrīvo vāhinīpatiḥ, vyādideśa mahāvīryān vānarān vānararsabhah/ te vānaraganāh sarve samutpatya yuyutsavah, guhābhyah śikharebhyaś ca āśu pupluvire tadā/ tato vānararājena laksmanena ca pūjitah, jagāma rāmo dharmātmā sasainyo daksinām diśam/ śataih śatasahasraiś ca kotībhir ayutair api, vāraṇābhiś ca haribhir yayau parivṛtas tadā/ taṁ yāntam anuyāti sma mahatī harivāhinī/ hṛṣṭāḥ pramuditāḥ sarve sugrīveṇābhipālitāḥ, āplavantaḥ plavantaś ca garjantaś ca plavamgamāh, kşvelanto ninadantaś ca jagmur vai dakṣinām diśam/ bhakṣayantah sugandhīni madhūni ca phalāni ca, udvahanto mahāvṛkṣān mañjarīpuñjadhāriṇaḥ/ anyonyaṁ sahasā drstā nirvahanti ksipanti ca, patantaś cotpatanty anye pātayanty apare parān/ rāvano no nihantavyah sarve ca rajanīcarāh, iti garjanti harayo rāghavasya samīpatah/ purastād rsabho vīro nīlah kumuda eva ca, pathānam śodhayanti sma vānarair bahubhih saha/ madhye tu rājā sugrīvo rāmo laksmana eva ca, bahubhir balibhir bhīmair vṛtāḥ śatrunibarhaṇaḥ/ hariḥ śatabalir vīraḥ koṭībhir daśabhir vṛtaḥ, sarvām eko hy avastabhya raraksa harivāhinīm/ kotīśataparīvārah kesarī panaso gajah, arkaś cātibalah pārśvam ekam tasvābhiraksati/ suseno jāmbavāms caiva rksair bahubhir āvrtah, sugrīvam puratah krtvā jaghanam samrarakṣatuḥ/ teṣām senāpatir vīro nīlo vānarapumgavaḥ, sampatan patatām śreṣṭhas tad balam paryapālayat/ darīmikhah prajanghaś ca jambho 'tha rabhasah kapih, sarvataś ca yayur vīrās tvarayantah plavamgamān/ evam te hariśārdūlā gacchanto baladarpitāh, apaśyams te giriśrestham sahyam drumalatāyutam/ sāgaraughanibham bhīmam tad vānarabalam mahat, nihsasarpa mahāghosam bhīmavega ivārnavah/tasya dāśaratheh pārśve śūrās te kapikuñjarāh, tūrnam āpupluvuh sarve sadaśvā iva coditāh/ kapibhyām uhyamānau tau śuśubhate nararṣabhau, mahadbhyām iva samspṛṣṭau grāhābhyām candrabhāskarau/ tam angadagato rāmam lakṣmaṇah śubhayā girā, uvāca pratipūrṇārthah smṛtimān pratibhānavān/ hṛtām avāpya vaidehīm kṣipram hatvā ca rāvaṇam, samṛddhārthaḥ samrddhārthām ayodhyām prativāsyasi/ mahānti ca nimittāni divi bhūmau ca rāghava, śubhānti tava paśyāmi sarvāny eyārthasiddhaye/ anu vāti śubho yāyuh senām mrduhitah sukhah, pūrnayalgusyarāś ceme pravadanti mṛgadvijāḥ/ prasannāś ca diśaḥ sarvā vimalaś ca divākaraḥ, uśanā ca prasannārcir anu tvām bhārgavo gatah/ brahmarāśir viśuddhaś ca śuddhāś ca paramarsayah, arcismantah prakāśante dhruvam sarve pradaksinam/ triśankur vimalo bhāti rājarsih sapurohitah, pitāmahavaro 'smākam iskvākūnām mahātmanām/Vimalecha prakaashete Vishakho nirupadrave, nakshatram paramasmaakamikshvaakuunaam mahaatmanaam/ Nairrutam nairryutaanaamcha nakshatramati peedyate, muulo muulavataa spashto dhuupyate dhumaketunaa/ Sarvam chaitad vinaashaaya rakshasaanaamanupasthitam, kaale kaalagriheetaanaam nakshatram grahapeeditam/ Vyudhaani kapisainyaani prakaashanedhikam praho,devaanaamiva sainyaani sangraame Taraakaamaye,ekamaarya samīksvaitān prīto bhavitumarhasi iti bhrātaram āśvāsva hrstah saumitrir abravīt/ athāvrtva mahīm kṛtṣnām jagāma mahatī camūh, ṛkṣavānaraśārdūlair nakhadamṣtrāyudhair vṛtā/ karāgraiś caranāgraiś ca vānarair uddhatam rajah, bhaumam antardadhe lokam nivārya savituh prabhām/lakāms cūtān asokān sinduvārakān, karavīrāms ca timisān bhañjanti sma plavamgamāh/ phalānv amrtagandhīni mūlāni

kusumāni ca, bubhujur vānarās tatra pādapānām balotkatāh/dronamātrapramānāni lambamānāni vānarāh, yayuh pibanto hrstās te madhūni madhupingalāh/ pādapān avabhañjanto vikarsantas tathā latāh, vidhamanto girivarān prayayuh plavagarsabhāh/ vṛkṣebhyo 'nye tu kapayo nardanto madhudarpitāḥ, anye vṛkṣān prapadyante prapatanty api cāpare/babhūva vasudhā tais tu sampūrṇā haripumgavaih, vathā kamalakedāraih pakvair iva vasumdharā/mahendram atha samprāpya rāmo rājīvalocanaḥ, adhyārohan mahābāhuḥ śikharam drumabhūṣitam/ tataḥ śikharam āruhya rāmo daśarathātmajaḥ, kūrmamīnasamākīrṇam apaśyat salilāśayam/ te sahyam samatikramya malayam ca mahāgirim, āsedur ānupūrvyena samudram bhīmanihsvanam/ avaruhva jagāmāśu velāvanam anuttamam, rāmo ramayatām śresthah sasugrīvah salaksmanah/ atha dhautopalatalām toyaughaih sahasotthitaih, velām āsādya vipulām rāmo vacanam abravīt/ ete vayam anuprāptāh sugrīva varunālayam, ihedānīm vicintā sā yā na pūrvam samutthitā/ atah paramatīro 'yam sāgarah saritām pati, na cāyam anupāyena śakyas taritum arnavah/ tad ihaiva niveśo 'stu mantrah prastūyatām iha, yathedam vānarabalam param pāram avāpnuyāt/ itīva sa mahābāhuh sītāharaṇakarśitah, rāmah sāgaram āsādya vāsam ājñāpayat tadā/ samprāpto mantrakālo naḥ sāgarasyeha langhane, svām svām senām samutsrjya mā ca kaś cit kuto vrajet, gacchantu vānarāh śūrā jñeyam channam bhayam ca nah/ rāmasya vacanam śrutvā sugrīvah sahalakṣmaṇaḥ, senām nyaveśayat tīre sāgarasya drumāyute/ virarāja samīpastham sāgarasya tu tad balam, madhupāṇḍujalaḥ śrīmān dvitīya iva sāgaraḥ/ velāvanam upāgamya tatas te haripumgavāh, vinivistāh param pāram kānksamānā mahodadheh/ sā mahārnavam āsādya hṛstā vānaravāhinī, vāyuvegasamādhūtam pasyamānā mahārnavam/dūrapāram asambādham rakşogananişevitam, pasyanto varunāvāsam nişedur hariyūthapāh/ candanakragraham ghoram ksapādau divasaksave, candrodave samādhūtam praticandrasamākulam/ candānilamahāgrāhaih kīrnam timitimimgilaih, dīptabhogair ivākrīrṇam bhujamgair varuṇālayam/ avagāḍham mahāsattair nānāśailasamākulam, durgam drugam amārgam tam agādham asurālayam/ makarair nāgabhogaiś ca vigādhā vātalohitāh, utpetuś ca nipetuś ca pravṛddhā jalarāśayah/ agnicūrnam ivāviddham bhāskarāmbumanoragam, surārivisayam ghoram pātālavisamam sadā/ sāgaram cāmbaraprakhyam ambaram sāgaropamam, sāgaram cāmbaram ceti nirviśesam adrśyata/ samprktam nabhasā hy ambhah samprktam ca nabho 'mbhasā, tādrgrūpe sma drśyete tārā ratnasamākule/ samutpatitameghasya vīcci mālākulasva ca, višeso na dvavor āsīt sāgarasvāmbarasva ca/ anvonvair āhatāh saktāh sasvanur bhīmanihsvanāh, urmayah sindhurājasya mahābherya ivāhaye/ ratnaughajalasamnādam visaktam iva vāyunā, utpatantam iva kruddham yādogaņasamākulam/ dadrsus te mahātmāno vātāhatajalāsayam, aniloddhūtam ākāśe pravalgatam ivormibhih, bhrāntormijala -saṃnādaṃ pralolam iva sāgaram/

As Veera Anjanaputra narrated the detailed description of the pramukha dwaaraass, how best they are safeguarded by the maha rakshasas and the kind direct and constant supervision of Ravama himself and the ever preparedness of Lanka, Shri Rama realised the mental acumen and sharp memory to readily digest the details and exclaimed: Hanuman! The way in which the details were rolled off was amazing and now you have prepared me arousing my emotions to destroy Lankapuri, Ravana and associates. Sugriva! You may even right away decide and declare the auspicious departure at this very midday time as Surya Deva is at his peak; Ravana had kidnapped Devi Sita and indeed where and whither he could evade my uprooting him any farther! Now the Utaaraphalguna Nakshatra is prevalent and tomorrow Chandra and Hasta Nakshatra would be in union; abhijit muhurta at noon is assured for our digvijaya yatra should be annonunced now. I am confident that our travel now as per the 'shubha suuchanas' and positive forebodings is excellent for 'Sitaavimochana' and 'Ravana vadha'. Besides, my right eye vision is repetetively trembling and shaking and this is yet another indication of my strong conviction and confidence. On hearing Shri Rama's declaration, Sugriva having respectfully looked at Rama and Lakshmanas and instructed his Senapati Neela who to lead the Maha Vaanara Sena forthwith with speed to the Madhu Vana replete with fragrant flowers and sweet fruits to enjoy but taking care of the trees in an orderely manner; he further instructed to ensure that no enemy elements of Ravanasura spying the proceedings as they might not be following and the vanara sena to be safeguarded from the enemy attacks from the rear side too. Another precautionary note that King Sugriva alerted to Neela Senapati was to ensure that only youthful vanaras with proven bravery ready even to sacrifice their lives but certainly not

baala- vriddha-durbala-vanaras be eliminated as Vanara Rakshasa samgrama was ferocious and no vanara soldier should run back as any such retreats be killed by the co vanara veeras. Sugriva further instructed Neela to lead the ocean like Maha bali Kapisena, while Mahabali 'Gavaya' with his mountainous physique and 'Gavaaksha' with his bull like physique and ferocity too should be in the lead too. May Vaanara shiromani 'Gandhamaadana' be on the left side, he himself in the center seated on Hanuman's shoulder and Lakshmana on the shoulders of Vaarara Yuvaraja; Riksha Raja 'Jambavan', and Vanara pramukhas 'Sushena' and 'Vegadarsha' on the rear side'. Thereafter Rama Lakshmana Sugrivas having finalised the order of placement emerged out of the Royal Cave of Sugriva. Then Sugriva led Rama Lakshmanas to the southern side of the kishkindha Mountain with Shri Rama in the lead as per the placement of the maha vaanrsa sena as instruced by the Supreme commander Shri Rama. Then, thousands, lakhs and crores of Maha Vaanara Sena moved ahead with Shri Rama himself in the lead. The over excited Sena had on the way made a halt with the kind approval of the Leaters concerned at the Madhuvana jostling, jumping, embracing each other with exuberant spirits had a hearty break meal and drink of festival excitement of sweet fruits and juices. As this was all being experienced before Shri Rama Himself, they made 'simha garjanas' with resounding animated exhileration: Rayano no nihantavyah sarvecha rajaneecharaah! Or 'Ravana ought to be killed, all Nishacharas be destroyed'! Ahead of the Vanara mighty Procession, Rishabha- Neela- Kumuda were setting the pathway for the crores of Vanara Veeras to passby. In the central lead were Sugriva, Rama-Lakshmanas as encirced by huge and mighty body guards. Shatabali naamaka Maha Vaanara Yoddha with ten crore vanaraas was protecting the leaders. There behind were the leaders Kesari and Panasa were moving forward in the southern portion, as Gaja and Arka in the left side western portion. Sushena and Jambavan in the southern side were surrounded by crores of Vanara Veeras too. Further Darimukha-Prasagjna, Jambha and Rabhasa were moving all around alerting the Maha Vanara Sena Samudra. On the way, the Maha Sena passed through several sarovaras full of lotuses in full bloom but under instructions from Rama refrained to enter therein, even as the thunderous reverberations of sloganeering was unstoppable. Then as Angada on whose shoulders Lakshmana was seated noted several 'shubha sanketass'addressed Shri Rama in rather low voice: 'Raghunandana! I notice several auspicious 'shakunas' or foreboding signs on earth and sky as the fulfillment of your 'karvasiddhi'. Most certainly 'Rayana samhara, Devi Sita prapti and Samrudhha Ayodhya Punaraagamana' are round the corner. Kindly note how cool, mild, happy winds are in the air. All the directions are proactive. Surya Deva appears mild. Bhrigunandana Shukra too is looking bright behind you. Saptarshi Samudaya and Dhruvatara too are promimently visible as though these are all making a parikrama around you!

[Vishleshana on Surya- Chandra-Shukraadi Grahas-Sapta Rishi Mandala- Dhruvas

It is said that there might be thousands of rays of Sun, but the important ones are only seven, representing Seven Planets, Viz.Sun, Moon, Mars, Mercury, Jupiter, Venus, and Saturn. Moontravels faster than Sun. The distance between Sun and Moon is 100,000 vojanas (800,000 miles). In two lunar fortnights, Moon passes through a period of a Samvatsaraor a year. In two and quarter days, Moon passes through a month of the Sun, or in one day, it passes through a fortnight of the Sun. Hence, the divergence of Solar and Lunar calculations and Calendars. As the Moon is waxing, it is a day for Gods and a night for Pitru Devatas. The waxing fortnight gradually diminishes the shine till the Moon-fall day (Amavasya) and the waning Moon picks up the shine day by day till Moon-rise day (Pournami). Moon is known as 'Jeeva' (life-provider), or 'Manomaya' (mind-alerter) or 'Annamaya' (potency provider from herbs and plants), 'Amritamaya' (source of life to all) and 'Sarvamaya' (all pervading). From Moon to the Group of Stars, the distance is 200,000 yojanas (16 00, 000 miles). Headed by Abhijit, there are twenty eight Stars revolving on their own axis. Above the Group of Stars is the Planet of Venus (Sukra) almost of the distance from the Moon to the Group of Stars. It is a benevelont planet, especially as a provider of good rains and prosperity and moves at the same pace as Sun God. Mercury (Budha), the son of Moon is situated from Venus (16,00,000 miles) or 72,00,000 miles from Earth and this Planet too is benevolent excepting when not moving along with Sun, thus causing cyclones, excess or no rainfall and dusty storms. Equidistant from Mercury or 80,80,000 miles above Earth, is the Planet of Mars (Mangal), which is generally not considered favourable, travelling along with other planets every three fortnights and creates tensions. The Planet of Jupiter (Guru) is away from Earth by some 10,400,000 miles-again 16,00,000 miles away from the planet of Mars- is considered generally benevolent to Brahmins and Universe, unless takes a curved path in conjunction with other planets. Saturn, which is 12 million miles above Earth is also considered generally unhelpful. Normally, each planet is 16,00,000 miles apart from another planet , but the distance from Saturn to the Group of 'Sapta Rishis' or the Seven Sages is 8,800,000 miles from Saturn ie.20,800,000 miles from Earth. Indeed, the Seven Sages are always the great well wishers of the entire Universe. The Sapta Rishis, viz.Marichi, Angirasa, Atri, Pulsastya, Pulaha, Krathu, and Vasishtha born in Lord Brahma's thoughts to help in the act of Creation. (Reference Maha Bharatha; Shanti Parva). The Seven Sage Constellation of the Great Bear (Ursa Major) is indeed the great well wisher of the entire Universe. The Sapta Rishis circambulate around the Pole Star, or Dhruva Tara, which is as good as the Abode of Supreme Lord Himself and is prayed to by religious mortals and Gods alike. (Maha Bhagavata Purana)]

Stanza 50 onward: Vimalecha prakaashete Vishakho nirupadrave, nakshatram paramasmaakam ikshvaakuunaam mahaatmanaam/ Nairrutam nairryutaanaamcha nakshatramati peedyate, muulo muulavataa spashto dhuupyate dhumaketunaa/ Sarvam chaitad vinaashaaya rakshasaanaamanupa - sthitam, kaale kaalagriheetaanaam nakshatram grahapeeditam/ In respact of Ikshvaaku vamsha, Vishakamaama ugala nakshatra is very auspicious and 'upadrava shunya' as that is not subject to Mangala niyamaka dhumaketu is rid of it as that specific 'samyoga' or union leading to tragic consequences. On the other hand, that specific combination of 'nairruta disha- moola nakshatra' is most assertively bound to 'kaala paasha' leading to devasatation. Vyudhaani kapisainyaani prakaashanedhikam prabho, devaanaamiva sainyaani sangraame Taraakaamaye, ekamaarya samīkṣyaitān prīto bhavitum - arhasi/ Ramaprabho! Now the vaanra sena is well bound as a 'Vyuha' or specified pattern as being excellently formatted like Devas at the time of Tarakasura Samhara by Shanmukha.

[Vishleshana on Tarakasura Samhara by Skanda Deva:

Fully understanding the purpose of his birth which his parents had strived for after performing thousands of years of Tapasya as also to fulfill the singular ambition of his grand mother to destroy Indra and Devas, Tarakasura took a vow at a grand conference of Daityas and Danavas-the descendents of Diti and Danuand proceeded to Paritraya Parvat (the western side of Aravali and Vindhya mountain range and observed strict Tapasya during hundred year time-slots by rotation by way of 'Niraahaara' (without food), Panchagni (in the midst of Five huge Fire bodies) in sizzling summers, 'Jala madhya' inside in chilled running water in the worst winter nights, eating only fallen dry leaves, etc. Brahma had no option but to present himself and ask for his boons. He bargained of absolute invincibility and deathlessness but finally agreed that only a seven days long boy could kill him, if at all! Not far from the day when Brahma bestowed the boons, Tarakasura redesigned and reformed his lines of Military Forces and attacked Indraloka. Having been defeated, Indra mde an appeal to Vishnu and the latter realised that only Skanda, the unique son of Shiva Parvati. could kill the loka kantaka Tarakasura. Indra then made a detailed plan as an outstanding stage manager: Bringing together of the then virgin Devi Parvati- Manmatha's pushpa baana prayoga to excite Parama Shiva who was in long tapasya -managing Himavan's virgin daughter Parvati to engage in service to supply 'puja dravyas' - seeking the help of Manmatha the God of love to intensify feelings of lust in Shiva's mind by his pushpa baanas- Shiva's opening his third eye with angereventual wedding of Shiva Parvati- agni deva carrying Shva's virility about to be wasted on earth to six Krittikas who drank the drops - Kartikeya's birth and the euphoria of Indra and the Trilokas. The Deities commenced preparations of war to kill Tarakasura but a Celestial Voice was heard that victory would be assured only under the Leadership of Kartikeya and hence all the Devas requested Skanda to become the Chief of the Army of Devas. Meanwhile, Devasena, the daughter of Mrityu Devata, became his wife and hence Skanda was known as Deva Senapati. Kartikeya led the army of Devas of the

rank of Indra, Agni, Vayu, Kubera and Yama Dharma Raja and was seated on an elephant. Tarakasura arrived with a huge army of mighty warriors who dominated and controlled the opponents intially. Indra's 'Vajra' was overpowered by Tarakasura's weapon called Shakti and wounded Indra. King Muchukunda who fought for Devas and sought to stop the domination of Daityas but Tarakasura reisted; Muchukunda wanted to use the 'Brahmaastra' but was restrained by Sage Narada as that weapon would no doubt create havoc but would be ineffective to destroy Tarakasura and hence Kartikeya would have to be warmed up gradually. Veerabhadra swang into action and slaughtered thousands of Demons; Tarakasura realised that Veerabhadra was not easy to control and thus used his 'Maya' and assumed a thousand arms, Lord Vishnu suggested that the time was ripe to kill the Big Demon before he became more powerful and asked Skanda to charge him. With his mighty weapon Shakti on hand, Kartikeya chased Tarakasura but the latter retaliated with his own 'Shakti' and even got Skanda unconscious for a while. After quickly recovering his poise, Kartikeya prayed to his parents and released the Maha Shakti which was fortified with the blessings of Bhagavan and Bhagavati and finally annihilated Tarakasura who incidentally was a Great Siva Bhakta! But Siva Himself was so pleased at the valour of the lad who was more than a match to the Greatest Demon of the times who sent shock waves across the Three Worlds! While Devas and Gandharvas were engaged in unending praises and noise of resounding musical notes, Rishis were engaged in Vedic Hymns to please Kartikeya and there was ecstasy across the Globe.]

Stanza 55

As Sugriva was detailing the various 'shubha shakunas' addressing Shri Rama, Lakshmana was hearing intently being excited, while the Maha Vanara Sena was proceeding ahead, with Maha Jambavan and huge Rikshas and Vanaras were guarding the rear side. Their entire body especially their foot fingers and hands were heavily dusted. This was especially so as they were jumping high, often flying and landing as though there was a sand storm blinding normal vision. As the Vanara Sena was crossing water bodies and rivers there was chaos of the waves while the cheers and slogans were further adding pandemoniam. The entire Vanara Sena jumping, leaping, running, chasing each other with speed, it seemed Vayu Deva too was cooperating by adjusting the speed and pace accordingly as the singular objective being 'Raghunadha Karvasiddhi'. As the vaanara sena approaches forests and wild trees, roots and sweet fruits face are invitable targets, simha nadaas, chaos and havoc are normal features. As they approach hills and mountains, their natural tendency would be to jump up to the tops and either slide down or leap down. Kananaani vichitraani nadeeprastravanaani cha, pashyannapi yathou Ramah sahyaasyah Malasyasyacha/ Shri Ramachandra too was immersed in thoughts, experiencing 'prakriti soundarya' especially as of Sahya and Malaya prarvata shrenis and the unbelievable magnificence as the Lanka Yatra was truly fabulous. Paada paanavabhajanto vikarshantastathaah, vidhamanto girivaraan prayayuh plavagarshabhaah/ Thus the Maha Vaanara Seva was advancing with hilarious shrieks and resounding thumping steps with speed and excitement. mahendram atha samprāpya rāmo rājīvalocanah, adhyārohan mahābāhuh śikharam drumabhūsitam/ tatah śikharam āruhya rāmo daśarathātmajah, kūrmamīnasamākīrnam apaśvat salilāśayam/ Kamalanayana Shri Rama then approached Mahendra Parvata and gracing the scenic beauty ascended the mountain. Then atop the shikhara visioned the Maha Samudra full of 'kurmas and matsyas'. te sahyam samatikramya malayam ca mahāgirim, āsedur ānupūrvyena samudram bhīmanihsvanam/ avaruhya jagāmāśu velāvanam anuttamam, rāmo ramayatām śresthah sasugrīvah salaksmanah/ Thus having crossed Sahya and Malaya parvataas, reached Mahendra Parvata and the Maha Saagara with ear drum shattering and high tide roarings. Accompanied by Lakshmana and Sugriva, soon enough Shri Rama descended down to the seashores and entered a forest adjacent thereby. ete vayam anuprāptāh sugrīva varuņālayam, ihedānīm vicintā sā yā na pūrvam samutthitā/ ataḥ paramatīro 'yam sāgaraḥ saritām pati, na cāyam anupāyena śakyas taritum arṇavaḥ/ tad ihaiva niveśo 'stu mantrah prastūyatām iha, yathedam vānarabalam param pāram avāpnuyāt/ Shri Rama then addressed Sugriva: King of Vanaras! Look, we have reached the 'Samudra Tata' alright. But in my mind the possibility of crossing the Maha Sagara is confronted now. How is this possible to assuage Samudra Deva! Without the help and coperation of Samudra Swami, it should be impossible to

cross the distance of hundred yojanas to reach Lankapuri. Thus we have all to introspect together especially by collective thinking. itīva sa mahābāhuḥ sītāharaṇakarśitaḥ, rāmaḥ sāgaram āsādya vāsam ājñāpayat tadā/ saṃprāpto mantrakālo naḥ sāgarasyeha laṅghane, svāṁ svāṁ senāṁ samutsṛjya mā ca kaś cit kuto vrajet, gacchantu vānarāḥ śūrā jñeyam channaṁ bhayaṁ ca naḥ/ As Rama who is already shattered by his Sita Viyoga in his mind asked Sugriva to settle down and even offer constructice suggestions. He emphasised that none of the Vanara Senapatis would now abstain from this important discussion and also enforce discipine right now among the respective squadrons. This is necesaary as the nearby maayaavi rakshasaas present here possibly might tamper with the mindset of vaararas even. As Rama opined thus Sugriva's intructions were clear too.Lakshmana too intervened in the task of controlling the Maha Vaanara sena. Three categories of reech or bears- langur with long tails and Vanaras were seated. Meanwhile the roarings of the furious tides of the Maha Sumudra got intensified as 'pradosha kaala chadrodaya' arrived. Samudra is then indeed the 'nivasa sthaana' of Deva shatru daityaraakshaas and the Maha Sagara was akin to pataala loka; the entire scenario then was so queer and awe inspiring that the Vanara sena was rightly wonder struck, even as the roaring reverberations of the high tides were getting more and more awe generating further and further.

Sarga Five

As Neela- Mainda- Dvivida Veeras made suitable arrangements of night long rest and safety to vaanara sena, Shri Rama confided his feelings especially in view of Ravana's ultimatum of time limit to Devi Sita

Sā tu nīlena vidhivat svārakṣā susamāhitā, sāgarasyottare tīre sādhu senā niveśitā/ maindaś ca dvividhaś cozasbhau tatra vānarapumgavau, viceratuś ca tām senām rakṣārtham sarvato diśam/ niviṣṭāyām tu senāyām tīre nadanadīpateh,pārśvastham laksmanam dṛstvā rāmo vacanam abravīt/ śokaś ca kila kālena gacchatā hy apagacchati, mama cāpaśyatah kāntām ahany ahani vardhate/ na me duhkham priyā dūre na me duḥkham hṛteti ca, etad evānuśocāmi vayo 'syā hy ativartate/ vāhi vāta yataḥ kanyā tām spṛṣṭvā mām api spṛśa, tvayi me gātrasamsparśaś candre dṛṣṭisamāgamaḥ/ tan me dahati gātrāṇi viṣam pītam ivāśaye, hā nātheti privā sā mām hrivamānā vad abravīt/ tadvivogendhanavatā taccintāvipulārcisā, rātrim divam śarīram me dahyate madanāgninā/ ayagāhyārnayam syapsye saumitre bhayatā vinā, katham cit prajvalan kāmaḥ samāsuptam jale dahet/ bahv etat kāmayānasya śakyam etena jīvitum, yad aham sā ca vāmorur ekām dharanim āśritau/ kedārasyeva kedārah sodakasya nirūdakah, upasnehena jīvāmi jīvantīm yac chrnomi tām/ kadā tu khalu sussonīm satapatrāyateksanām, vijitya satrūn draksyāmi sītām sphītām iva śriyam/ kadā nu cārubimbaustham tasyāh padmam ivānanam, īsadunnamya pāsyāmi rasāyanam ivāturah/ tau tasyāh samhatau pīnau stanau tālaphalopamau, kadā nu khalu sotkampau hasantyā mām bhajişyatah/ sā nūnam asitāpāngī rakṣomadhyagatā satī, mannāthā nāthahīneva trātāram nādhigacchati/ kadā viksobhya rakṣāmsi sā vidhūyotpatiṣyati, vidhūya jaladān nīlāñ śaśilekhā śaratsv iva/ svabhāvatanukā nūnam śokenānaśanena ca, bhūyas tanutarā sītā deśakālaviparyayāt/ kadā nu rāksasendrasva nidhāvorasi sāvakān, sītām pratvāharisvāmi śokam utsrjva mānasam/ kadā nu khalu mām sādhvī sītāmarasutopamā, sotkanthā kantham ālambya moksyaty ānandajam jalam/ kadā śokam imam ghoram maithilī viprayogajam, sahasā vipramokṣyāmi vāsaḥ śukletaram yathā/ evam vilapatas tasya tatra rāmasya dhīmatah, dinaksayān mandavapur bhāskaro 'stam upāgamat/ āśvāsito laksmanena rāmah samdhyām upāsata, smaran kamalapatrāksīm sītām śokākulīkṛtah/

Vaanara Veera Nila responsible for safe stay of the Maha Vaanara sena made satisfactory arrangements of the night halt at the sea bed, while Mainda and Dvivida kept vigilance. Then Shri Rama confided in Lakshmana stating that even as his grief and distress as had been suppressed so far during the travel this far was tending to reappear again and again, day by day. He was unable to resist his tearful flows muttering as folows: 'My agony might not be that Devi Sita's continued absence from me but the criticality of the time limitation that the heartless Ravana had fixed. As she was suddenly kidnapped, the desperate shouts and cries as 'ha Praana nadha'once recalled my stomach gets filled up with poisonous flames spreading fastest all over my body limbs. Believe me Lalkshmana! This 'premaagni' keeps on

burning my core, day and night, and as the world is sleeping; this slow poison might not break me down to a disastrous termination. All the same, the 'viraahagni'is solaced that Devi Sita is still resting on bare earth yet alive and that very ray of trust and belief keeps extending the possibility of my renewed existence.kadā tu khalu susšonīm šatapatrāyatekṣaṇām, vijitya šatrūn drakṣyāmi sītām sphītām iva śriyam/ kadā nu cārubimbaustham tasyāh padmam iyānanam, īsadunnamya pāsyāmi rasāyanam ivāturah/When indeed that time might arrive when the enemy is eliminated and when my Rajya Lakshmi Kamalanayana Sumadhyamaa Sita darshana bhagya prapti! When again a 'rogi' could lap up the 'rasaayana' and lift up cup of sweet medicine to lips to her lips for a sweet kiss! kadā nu rāksasendrasya nidhāyorasi sāyakān, sītām pratyāharisyāmi śokam utsrjya mānasam/kadā nu khalu mām sādhvī sītāmarasutopamā, sotkaṇṭhā kaṇṭham ālambya mokṣyaty ānandajam jalam/ kadā śokam imam ghoram maithilī viprayogajam, sahasā vipramoksyāmi vāsah śukletaram yathā/ When and how soon could pierce my sword right into the hearts of Rakshasa Raja Ravana and his followers and assuage my darling Sita. When and how soon could take me to my heart for a tight embrace as she would shed tears of joy be wiped out with my fingers. When and how soon could Mithileashwari discard her crumpled and dusted 'eka vastra' to pure silk clothes bordered with gold and 'nava ratnas'. As Shri Rama was confiding his heart felt feelings of anguish to Lakshmana, it was time that the sayam kala sandhyopashana time getting due. Lakshmana sought to alleviate feelings and both of them got busy with their respective Gayatri worship.

Sarga Six

King Ravanasura convened an emergency conference with his Ministers as the Vanara Sena had reached the Sea shores with Rama in the lead

Lankāyām tu krtam karma ghoram dṛstvā bhavāvaham, rāksasendro hanumatā śakreneva mahātmanā, abravīd rākṣasān sarvān hriyā kim cid avānmukhaḥ/dharṣitā ca praviṣṭā ca lankā duṣprasahā purī, tena vānaramātreņa dṛṣṭā sītā ca jānakī/ prasādo dharṣitaś caityaḥ pravarā rākṣasā hatāḥ, āvilā ca purī laṅkā sarvā hanumatā krtā/ kim karisvāmi bhadram vah kim vā vuktam anantaram, ucvatām nah samartham vat krtam ca sukrtam bhavet/ mantramūlam hi vijavam prāhur ārvā manasvinah, tasmād vai rocave mantram rāmam prati mahābalāh/ trividhāh puruṣā loke uttamādhamamadhyamāh, teṣām tu samayetānām gunadosam vadāmy aham/mantribhir hitasamyuktaih samarthair mantranirnaye, mitrair vāpi samānārthair bāndhavair api vā hitaih/ sahito mantrayitvā yah karmārambhān pravartayet, daive ca kurute yatnam tam āhuh purusottamam/ eko 'rtham vimrsed eko dharme prakurute manah, ekah kāryāni kurute tam āhur madhyamam naram/gunadosāv aniścitya tyaktvā daivavyapāśrayam, karisyāmīti yah kāryam upekṣet sa narādhamaḥ/ yatheme puruṣā nityam uttamādhamamadhyamāḥ, evam mantro 'pi vijñeya uttamādhamamadhyamah/aikamatyam upāgamya śāstradrstena caksuṣā, mantriņo yatra nirastās tam āhur mantram uttamam/ bahvyo 'pi matayo gatvā mantriņo hy arthanirnaye, punar yatraikatām prāptah sa mantro madhvamah smrtah/ anyonyamatim āsthāya vatra sampratibhāsyate, na caikamatye śrevo 'sti mantrah so 'dhama ucvate/ tasmāt sumantritam sādhu bhavanto mantrisattamāh, kārvam sampratipadyantām etat kṛtyatamam mama/ vānarāṇām hi vīrāṇām sahasraiḥ parivāritaḥ, rāmo 'bhyeti purīm lankām asmākam uparodhakah/ tarisyati ca suvyaktam rāghayah sāgaram sukham, tarasā yuktarūpena sānujah sabalānugah/ asminn evamgate kārye viruddhe vānaraih saha, hitam pure ca sainye ca sarvam sammantryatām mama/

As Indratulya parakrami Hanuman alone created mayhem and devastation of Lankapuri putting him to shame, now learning that a maasive Vanara Sena had since reached the shores of Maha Sagara already, Ravana was apparently in a pensive frame of mind convened an emergency conference with his Ministers. He addressed the conference as follows: dharṣitā ca praviṣṭā ca laṅkā duṣprasahā purī, tena vānaramātreṇa dṛṣṭā sītā ca jānakī/ prasādo dharṣitaś caityaḥ pravarā rākṣasā hatāḥ, āvilā ca purī laṅkā sarvā hanumatā kṛtā/ kiṁ kariṣyāmi bhadraṁ vaḥ kiṁ vā yuktam anantaram, ucyatāṁ naḥ samarthaṁ yat kṛtaṁ ca sukṛtaṁ bhavet/ Nishaacharaas!That Hanuman, a single Vanara entered the impenetrable

Lankapuri, searched for Sita and spoke to her; not only that crumbled Chaityapraasaada down to earth, killed significant Rakshasa yodhhas and put Lankapuri to flames. May you all be blessed! Now, what should I do! I should be now suitably advised. Is there a solution now! mantramūlam hi vijayam prāhur āryā manasvinah, tasmād vai rocaye mantram rāmam prati mahābalāh/trividhāh puruṣā loke uttamādhamamadhyamāh, tesām tu samayetānām gunadosam yadāmy aham/ Maha Rakshasa Veeraas! Learned Viginaana vettaas are stated to have assured victories on battle fronts as per by the advices of able mantris and that is why I should be advised as to what should be done in respect of Shri Rama and hence my seeking your able suggestions. As you may be aware that in the present society, there are three types of advisors of the best, the medium and the worst categories. Now, the 'Uttama Shreni' Advisers seek to understand the possibilities or otherwise, capabilities or weaknesses, interests or rejections, and above all objective analyses from the outside expert advisors. Those who seek to analyse the pros and cons of a given situation and its context and finlise their own decision are of the medium category. A person even without understanding a given situation with least analysis takes a unilateral and conclusive decision is of course of the lowest classification. tasmāt sumantritam sādhu bhavanto mantrisattamāḥ, kārvam sampratipadyantām etat krtvatamam mama/ vānarānām hi vīrānām sahasraih parivāritah, rāmo 'bhyeti purīm lankām asmākam uparodhakah/ Now happily in my 'mantri mandali', you are all 'Parama buddhhiman' and as such I seek your expert advice and I should esteem it and follow the same dutifully. We are now confronted with thousands of Vanaras led by Rama and are threatening of 'Lanka vinashana' tarisyati ca suvyaktam rāghavah sāgaram sukham, tarasā yuktarūpena sānujah sabalānugah/asminn evaingate kārye viruddhe vānaraih saha, hitam pure ca sainye ca sarvam sammantryatām mama/ Now this is by now clear that Rama is desperate to cross the Maha Sagara from their mainland comfortably along with his sena. They might as well dry up the ocean or seek another alternative. In such a critical situation, kindly provide me a helpful advice.' Thus concluded Ravana's address.

Sarga Seven

As Ravanasura expressed his concern, his Ministers replied that a King of his stature and triloka -fame need not get worried especially when vaanaras and humans attack and Indrajit alone could smother them.

Ity uktā rāksasendrena rāksasās te mahābalāh, ūcuh prāñjalayah sarve rāvanam rāksaseśvaram/ rājan parighaśaktyrstiśūlapattasasamkulam, sumahan no balam kasmād visādam bhajate bhavān/ kailāsaśikharāvāsī yaksair bahubhir āvrtah, sumahat kadanam krtvā vaśyas te dhanadah krtah/ sa maheśvarasakhyena ślāghamānas tvayā vibho, nirjitah samare rosāl lokapālo mahābalah/ vinihatya ca yakşaughān vikşobhya ca vigrhya ca, tvayā kailāsaśikharād vimānam idam āhṛtam/ mayena dānavendreņa tvadbhayāt sakhyam icchatā, duhitā tava bhāryārthe dattā rākṣasapumgava/ dānavendro madhur nāma vīryotsikto durāsadaḥ, vigrhya vasam ānītaḥ kumbhīnasyāḥ sukhāvahaḥ/ nirjitās te mahābāho nāgā gatvā rasātalam, vāsukis taksakah śankho jatī ca vaśam āhrtāh/ aksavā balavantaś ca śūrā labdhavarāh punah, tvavā samvatsaram yuddhvā samare dānavā vibho/ svabalam samupāśritva nītā vaśam arimdama, māyāś cādhigatās tatra bahavo rākṣasādhipa/ śūrāś ca balavantaś ca varuṇasya sutā rane, nirjitās te mahābāho caturvidhabalānugāh/mrtyudandamahāgrāham śālmalidvīpamanditam, avagāhya tvayā rājan yamasya balasāgaram/ jayaś ca viplulah prāpto mrtyuś ca pratisedhitah, suyuddhena ca te sarve lokās tatra sutositāh/ ksatriyair bahubhir vīraih śakratulyaparākramaih, āsīd vasumatī pūrņā mahadbhir iva pādapaih/ teṣām vīryagunotsāhair na samo rāghavo raṇe, prasahya te tvayā rājan hatāḥ paramadurjayāḥ/rājan nāpad ayukteyam āgatā prākṛtāj janāt, hṛdi naiva tvayā kāryā tvam vadhişyasi rāghavam/

As Ravanasura invited suggestions from his ministers, the reply to the King was that indeed Rakshasas were aware of Neeti Jnaana as much as the opponents. Hence the submission would be as follows: King of Asuras!! We are prepared to attack the enemy force with Parighas-Shakti- Shula-Pattisha as the Vaaras and Bears are quipped too then why worry! Maha Raja! you had even gone to Bhogavati Pura and

devastated Maha Nagas; you had successfully defeated Yakshas and subdued Kubera and seized pushpaka vimana from Kailaasha Shikhara. Rakshassha shiromani! Danava Raja Maya was terrorised by you as he wished your lasting friendship and submitted his daughter Mandodari, your Patta Mahishi the Prime Queen, a Maha Pativrata! Mahabaaho! We recall that Maha Daanava Madhu surrendered to you in his battle against you and submitted accepting your sister Kumbhini as his wife. Shatru damana Rakshasa Raja! Daanavas were for immemoreal times the established champions of bravery in battles, but you had the power of subduing them for ever and in turn wrested from them numberless powers of 'Mayas'! Varuna Deva Putras too once attacked you with their chaturanga senas were smashed by you personally. Maha Raja!Yama swarupi Maha Saagara and Mrityu Rupi Rakshasa Sena are at your command. Further, in the remote past Kshatriya Kings of 'Mahendra samaana' heros were full on earth but now samara durjaya veeras are virtually non existent now and would it be a matter of anxiety for you! You may as well relax and a hero of Indrajit's standing would teach a fitting lesson to the attacking Rama and his monkey brigade. Our Megha Naada had successfully performed Maheshwara Yagjna which is unparalleled. He had the reputation of imprisoned Indra and Our army is of the swarupa of ekaadasha Rudra gana and dwadasha Aditya ganas- Marud gana and Vasu gana. rājan nāpad ayukteyam āgatā prākṛtāj janāt, hṛdi naiva tvayā kāryā tvam vadhisyasi rāghavam/ Ravana Maharaja! If mere ordinary Vannaras and human beings seek to attack such invincible Lanka Puri, it is not at all a matter of concern to you!

Sarga Eight

Ravanasura was assured by Mahaasura Veeras like Prahasta-Durmukh- Vajradamshtra-Nikumbha and Vajradamshtra to demolish the Vanara-Manushyas if attacked

Tato nīlāmbudanibhah prahasto nāma rāksasah, abravīt prāñjalir vākyam śūrah senāpatis tadā/ devadānavagandharvāh piśācapatagoragāh,na tvām dharṣayitum śaktāh kim punar vānarā raṇe/ sarve pramattā viśvastā vañcitāḥ sma hanūmatā, na hi me jīvato gacchej jīvan sa vanagocaraḥ/ sarvām sāgaraparvantām saśailavanakānanām, karomy avānarām bhūmim ājñāpayatu mām bhavān/ raksām caiva vidhāsyāmi vānarād rajanīcara, nāgamisyati te duhkham kim cid ātmāparādhajam/ abravīc ca susamkruddho durmukho nāma rākṣasaḥ, idam na kṣamaṇīyam hi sarveṣām naḥ pradharṣaṇam/ ayam paribhavo bhūyah purasyāntahpurasya ca, śrīmato rāksasendrasya vānarendrapradharsanam/ asmin muhūrte hatvaiko nivartişyāmi vānarān, praviṣṭān sāgaraṁ bhīmam ambaraṁ vā rasātalam/ tato 'bravīt susamkruddho vajradamstro mahābalah, pragrhya parigham ghoram māmsasonitarūpitam/kim vo hanumatā kāryam krpanena tapasvinā, rāme tisthati durdharse sugrīve sahalaksmane/ adya rāmam sasugrīvam parigheņa salaksmaņam, āgamisyāmi hatvaiko viksobhya harivāhinīm/ kaumbhakarņis tato vīro nikumbho nāma vīryavān, abravīt paramakurddho rāvanam lokarāvaņam/sarve bhavantas tiṣṭhantu mahārājena samgatāḥ, aham eko haniṣyāmi rāghavam sahalakṣmaṇam/ tato vajrahanur nāma rākṣasaḥ parvatopamah, kruddhah parilihan vaktram jihvayā vākyam abravīt/ svairam kurvantu kāryāni bhavanto vigatajvarāh, eko 'ham bhaksavisvāmi tān sarvān harivūthapān/ svasthāh krīdantu niścintāh pibantu madhuvārunīm, aham eko hanisyāmi sugrīvam sahalaksmanam, sāngadam ca hanūmantam rāmam ca ranakuñjarh/

Pursuant to the assurances of the Mantri Mandali, the Asura 'Senapati Prahasta' stated: 'Maha Raja! as we the Maha warriors of Asuras smashed crushingly the Deva-Danva-Gandharva-Pishacha- Pakshi-Sarpaas and of which great concern is for Nara-Vaanaras. Earlier we were rather casual in the earlier attacks of a vanara called Hanuman. But now we got a lesson and are ready to crush the vaanaras in thousands and lakhs. Under your instructions now, we could bring down mountains to pebbles, forests on the sea bed to be uprooted and vanaras to be burnt alive. Raksharaja! May you not be ever blamed for the so called Sitaapharana and your regretting it!'. Then Maha Rakshasa 'Durmukha' addressed the King in fumed up raised voice: 'Maha Raja! Right now: You had never committed a crime demanding an apology for getting Sita down here to Lankapuri. Several lustful Gandharva-Yaksha-Danava kanyas do fall in mad

love with and get blissfully enjoy their lives here as your queens. If only you nod hear head, I could myself chase the vaanaras and manushyas and chase them death and flee into the Maha Sagara or akaasha or rasaatala. Then came out a thundorous shout from 'Vajradanti' lifted by both hands upto his shoulders his maha parigha smeared with raw blood and pieces of fresh flesh: kim vo hanumatā kāryam kṛpaṇena tapasvinā, rāme tisthati durdharse sugrīve sahalaksmane/ adva rāmam sasugrīvam parighena salakşmanam, āgamişyāmi hatvaiko vikşobhya harivāhinīm/ When Rama- Sugriva-Lakshmanas are there to be attacked in one stroke of my mighty sword, what could miserable Hanuman do, as asserted 'Nikumbha', the son of Kumbhakarna. Nikumbha further asserted: I myself could forward to 'shmashaana' the so called Heros of Rama Lakshmana, Sugriva- Hanuman and the rest of vanaras. Then among other Rakshasa heros Vishalakaya 'Vajrahanu' biting his sharp teeth declared: svairam kurvantu kāryāni bhavanto vigatajvarāh, eko 'ham bhaksayisyāmi tān sarvān hariyūthapān/ svasthāh krīdantu niścintāh pibantu madhuvārunīm, aham eko hanisyāmi sugrīvam sahalaksmanam, sāngadam ca hanūmantam rāmam ca raṇakuñjarh/ You Maha Rakshasa Yoddhas! Kindly relax and carry on with your own domestic chores; I should by myself all alone devastate the entire 'Vanara Sena'! In fact you may as well playfully rejoice endless 'madira paana' to your respectine capacities! I would kill all of the enemies including Sugriva-Lakshmana-Angada-Hanuman and other vanara bhallukas too.

Sarga Nine

As Rakasha Veeras assured Ravana of assurances with bravado unminded of enemy strength, Vibhishana requests him to respectfully return Devi Sita safe to Rama and save Lanka's glory and of generations.

Tato nikumbho rabhasah sūryaśatrur mahābalah, suptaghno yajñakopaś ca mahāpārśvo mahoarah/ agniketuś ca durdharso raśmiketuś ca rāksasah, indrajic ca mahātejā balavān rāvanātmajah/ prahasto 'tha virūpākso vajradaṃstro mahābalah, dhūmrāksaś cātikāvaś ca durmukhaś caiva rāksasah/ parighān paṭṭasān prāsāñ śaktiśūlaparaśvadhā, cāpāni ca sabāṇāni khaḍgāms ca vipulāñ sitān/ pragrhya parama - kruddhāh samutpatya ca rākṣasāh, abruvan rāvanam sarve pradīptā iva tejasā/ adya rāmam vadhisyāmah sugrīvam ca salaksmanam, krpanam ca hanūmantam lankā vena pradharsitā/ tān gṛhītāyudhān sarvān vārayitvā vibhīṣaṇaḥ, abravīt prāñjalir vākyam punaḥ pratyupaveśya tān/ apy upāyais tribhis tāta yo 'rthah prāptum na śakyate, tasya vikramakālāms tān yuktān āhur manīsinah/ pramattesv abhiyuktesu daivena prahatesu ca,vikramās tāta sidhyanti parīksya vidhinā krtāh/ apramattam katham tam tu vijigīsum bale sthitam, jitarosam durādharsam pradharsayitum icchatha/ samudram langhayitvā tu ghoram nadanadīpatim, kṛtam hanumatā karma duskaram tarkayeta kah/ balāny aparimeyāni vīryāṇi ca niśācarāḥ, pareṣām sahasāvajñā na kartavyā katham cana/kim ca rākṣasarājasya rāmeṇāpakṛtam purā, ājahāra janasthānād yasya bhāryām yaśasvinah/ kharo yady ativṛttas tu rāmeṇa nihato raṇe, avaśyam prāṇinām prāṇā rakṣitavyā yathā balam/ etannimittam vaidehī bhayam nah sumahad bhayet, āhrtā sā parityājyā kalahārthe krte na kim/ na nah ksamam vīryayatā tena dharmānuvartinā, vairam nirarthakam kartum dīvatām asva maithilī/ vāvan na sagajām sāśvām bahuratnasamākulām, purīm dārayate bāṇair dīyatām asya maithilī/ yāvat sughorā mahatī durdharṣā harivāhinī, nāvaskandati no lankām tāvat sītā pradīyatām/ vinasyed dhi purī lankā śūrāh sarve ca rāksasāh, rāmasya dayitā patnī na svayam yadi dīyate/ prasādaye tvām bandhutvāt kurusva vacanam mama, hitam pathyam tv aham brūmi dīyatām asya maithilī/purā śaratsūryamarīcisamnibhān; navāgrapunkhān sudrdhān nṛpātmajah, srjaty amoghān viśikhān vadhāya te; pradīyatām dāśarathāya maithilī/ tyajasva kopam sukhadharmanāśanam; bhajasva dharmam ratikīrtivardhanam, prasīda jīvema saputrabāndhavāḥ; pradīyatām dāśarathāya maithilī/

Pursuant to the braggings of Nikumbhaadi Rakshasa Veeraas, Nikumbha, Rabhasa, Suryashatru, Suptaghna, Yagjnakopa, Mahapaarshva, Mahodara, Agniketu, Rashmiketu, Ravana kumara Indrajit, Prahasta, Virupaksha, Vajradamshtra, Dhumraksha, Atikaaya, Durmukhaadi Rakshasa Maha Veeraas stood up in rage and lifted in their mighty hands and hefty shoulders various 'aayudhaas' like parigha,

pattisha, shula, praasa, shkti, pharasa, dhanush baanaas, khadgas, and jumped declaring: adya rāmam vadhiṣyāmaḥ sugrīvam ca salakṣmaṇam, kṛpaṇam ca hanūmantam laṅkā yena pradharṣitā/ We should at once destroy Rama-Lakshmana- Sugriva, and most cerainly Hanuman who had destroyed Lankapuri in flames. Then, dharmagjna Vibhishana intervened and addressed Ravana: Maha Raja! Neeti Shastra Vigjnanis proclaimed that one ought to follow the chaturvidha upaayas of saama-daana-bheda- and finally danda. As the enemy is unprepared and sudden attacks of the defending veeras would invarialbly bound to end up in 'aadhi-daivika- adhyatmika taapatrayas' and duly justified attacks only are justiable.

[Vishleshana on 'Taapatrayas':

Tapatraya: Adhi Bhoudika or Ailments of Physical Nature; Adhyatmika or of Mental-Psychological Nature; and Adhi Daivika or of Natural Calamities like Earth quakes, floods, lightnings etc. beyond human control. In Vishnu Purana: Maharshi Parashara described about Tapatriayas or the Three Kinds of Difficulties that all human beings are subjected to as also the means of realising the Paramartha Swarupa. The Tapatriayas originate due to Adhyatmika, Aadhi Daavika and Adhi Bhoutika reasons. Adhyatmika based Tapaas are either due to 'Shaaririka' (physical) ailments or 'Manasika' (psychological) imbalances. Shaaririka Tapaas include dieseases related to head, digestive, heart, breathing, vision, limbs, skin, fevers and so on; related are the various physiological problems of blood-urinary-pelvic nature. Manasika Tapaas are related to Kama, Krodha, Bhaya, Dwesha, lobha, Moha, Vishada, Shoka, Asuya, Apamana, Irshya, Matsara etc. Adhi Bhoutika Tapaas are due to the difficulties attributed to animals, birds, Pishachaas, Serpents, Rakshasaas and poisonous related creatures like scorpions. The troubles on account of Adhidaivika nature are due to cold, heat, air, rains, drought, water, earthquakes, cyclones and so on. Additionally, the troubles are related to birth, childhood, youth, old age, ignorance, Avidya, loneliness, smell, lack of resources, poverty, immaturity, inexperience, lack of opportunity, fear of death, death itself and multiple kinds of experiences of Naraka. Maharshi Parashara emphasized that there are problems of excessive of opulence, excellent health, excessive youth, and such other excesses and some times ignorance is bliss. More so there could be Tapaas due to discriminations of sex, age, social status, experience, opportunity, family background; origin of birth viz. religion, Varnashrama and age. Disappoint -ments in life, more specifically relating to money and fame, including their earnings, perservation and its vinasha or destruction happen to be yet source of Tapatraya]

Stanza Ten onwards

Shri Rama might nodoubt be ever ready as aftet all he had arrived with his decisivenees to counter such sudden attacks, but are we not capable of well pronounced attacks as that should truly be observed as the 'yuddha dharma'. Nishachara Veeraas! Do you not realise the meaning of the vaanara sena arriving here after crossing the 'maha saagra' by air dashes and high wave jumpings: samudram langhayitvā tu ghoram nadanadīpatim, krtam hanumatā karma duṣkaram tarkayeta kaḥ/ balāny aparimeyāni vīryāṇi ca niśācarāh, pareṣām sahasāvajñā na kartavyā katham cana/ kim ca rākṣasarājasya rāmeṇāpakṛtam purā, ājahāra janasthānād yasya bhāryām yaśasvinah/ Can you imagine that a single Hanuman crossed this Maha Samudra by flying on the skies. Let us not underestimate the might, pluck and dashing desperation of the huge vaanara sene for a justified objective. First of all, tell me as to why Shri Rama is harassed and restless as his own wife was forcibly kidnapped away! That was why he himself wishes to take revenge. Would or not be justified that his wife be rescued! kharo yady ativṛttas tu rāmeṇa nihato raṇe, avaśyam prāṇinām prāṇā rakṣitavyā yathā balam/ etannimittam vaidehī bhayam naḥ sumahad bhavet, āhṛtā sā parityājyā kalahārthe kṛte na kim/ na naḥ kṣamam vīryavatā tena dharmānuvartinā, vairam nirarthakam kartum dīyatām asya maithilī/ yāvan na sagajām sāśvām bahuratnasamākulām, purīm dārayate bāṇair dīyatām asya maithilī/ If Rama killed Khara, was not to so since Khara attacked Rama in self defence. Now again Rama is perforce attacking as per action-reaction sequence! Hence the cause of 'Sita harana' is removed then the need for the effect would automatically gets erased! What is the use of prolonging the issue as the root is bound to spring up a plant and allow the emergence of a Maha Vriksha and as such the

root cause be removed by duly and honourably releasing Sita. Why prolong the issue draggingly to endless troubles. Rama is well known for his broad mindedness and undoubted dharmatma, even being a paraakrami. Why not then release Mithilesha Kumari and return her to nip the bud! yāvat sughorā mahatī durdharṣā harivāhinī, nāvaskandati no laṅkām tāvat sītā pradīyatām/ vinasyed dhi purī laṅkā sūrāḥ sarve ca rāksasāh, rāmasva davitā patnī na svavam vadi dīvate/ prasādave tvām bandhutvāt kurusva vacanam mama, hitam pathyam tv aham brūmi dīyatām asya maithilī/ Vibhishana further cautions his elder brother Ravana that even well before Rama's 'baana varsha' could destroy the peaceful Lankapuri with its present name and fame with its prosperity replete with chariots, cavalry, elephantry, and so on, he might simply return Maithli to her husband. Lankeshwara! You are my dear elder brother and this is my humble submission to you in the name of fraternal affection that do very kindly let Sita be returned back to her prana vallabha. purā śaratsūryamarīcisamnibhān; navāgrapunkhān sudrdhān nrpātmajah, srjaty amoghān visikhān vadhāya te; pradīyatām dāsarathāya maithilī/ tyajasva kopam sukhadharmanāsanam; bhajasva dharmam ratikīrtivardhanam, prasīda jīvema saputrabāndhavāh; pradīyatām dāśarathāya maithilī/ Well before Rajakumara Rama with his splendour of Shartkaalaa Surya's radiance release his first arrow, please let Dasharatha nandini be free. My dear most and highly esteemed elder brother, my repeated and reiterated submission with all my humility be lessen your anger and lessen my heart felt anxiety and anguish. Krodha led by ill justified kaama leads to dharma nashana and self destruction. Your nod of head with generocity would save generatoins of bandhu bandhavas. With your kind glances the glory of Lankapuri would be 'aachandraatmakam'! Having thus Vibhishana said with folded hands, King Ravana dismissed the Sabha and left for his 'rajamahal', with visible anger!.

Sarga Ten

As Vibhishana approached Ravana again in the latter's Rajamahal, he narrated 'ashubhas' in Lankapuri after Sita's entry, but Ravana was firm not to release her as Rama and Indra even would fail to do so!

Next morning, the Dharmardhainaata Vibhishana visited Ravana's palatial Palace which was ever busy with the constant flows of ministers, rakshas veeras and royal soldiers. He refreshed himself with the grandeur of the Palace, the ever fascinating traffic of damsel groups reaching the Rani Vaasaas and so on. On his entry, Rakshasa soldiers of high rankings welcomed him and ushered him to the interiors of where the King Ravana was seated who was then surrounded by veda panditas reciting stanzas of praises appropriate to Maha Rajas such as 'Vijayi bhava, digvijayi bhava'. There after, when King Ravana was left free and alone, excepting his close and select Ministers, Vibhshana started his convesation; he initated stating that of late there had been a number of 'apashakunas' or negative forebodings, especially eversince Devi Sita arrived here. Several reports were being received from the Lanka Public that among the household kitchens, cooking flames were gradually losing their normal cooking qualty and ability as the flames were either disppearing suddenly or losing their property of heat timings. Very often the resultant smoke spreads fast as the kitchen ceilings get blackened too soon within hours and minutes. Among the kitchens, yagina shaalas, vedaadhyana sthaanas cobras appear entering and disappearing too often. Cows milk gets evaporating too soon. Gaja rajas no longer display their normal 'mada' or arrogance and assume timidity too often. Donkeys, camels, and such other domestic animals once seated tend to struggle to stand. Groups of crows keep flying crowing all over hovering the households enen at the midnight hours disturbing the deep sleep of the residents. Worse still, tens and hundreds of owls attack the roofs and windows suddenly. These are but a few 'apashakunas' being presently faced by the Lankapuri public, eversince the arrival of Devi Sita here. Praapane chaasya mantrasya nivritaah sarva manrinah, avashyam cha mayaa vaachyam yadaa drushtamayaa shrutam sampradhaarya yatthaanyaayam tad bhavaan kartumarshasi/ Dear brother Ravana! Vatious Mantris, Senapatis and even 'goodhachaaris' very near to you personally are hesitating to provide the feedback information to you and as I am compelled to inform you personally as my truthful well wisher of your 'keerti pratishaas'. Now you may like to consider as you feel appropriate.' As Vibhishana heard the above 'chetaavani' or a

fraternal warning signal, Ravana stood up in the midst of the ministers addressd Vibhishana as follows: Vibhishana! I am least afraid of any kind. Rest assured that Rama would never ever be able to secure Sita at any cost as this is my final resoluton. I am of the firm and most ultimate decisivenes. Even securing the active involvement and support of Devendra, Rama would be pulled down to dust most assertively and therefore, you may now leave me and disappear!

Sargas Eleven and Twelve

Ravana convenes a Public Sabha after tightening secutity, declares intense feelings for Sita-Kumbhakarna since woken up regrets Ravana's love affair yet challenges Rama's attacks all by himself

At the grand conference of the Rakshasa Pramukhas of Lankapuri, King Ravana enters with pomp and show. As he entered there were 'shankha ninaadaas' while senaadhipati led the procession while ministers were behind as per royal protocol with white 'chhatra chaamras', 'vandimadanan stuti paathas', and then he was seated on 'rathna khachita suvarna simhasana'. Well before the arrival of the King, Vibhishana was seated after King Ravana's having been seated. Then the Lankapuri prasiddha pramukha invitees were awaiting of the commanding voice of the King.

Having over viewed all the Pradhana pramukhas of Lankapuri invitees, King Ravana instructed Senapati Prahasta: 'Senapati! Do instruct your maha rakshasa sena so that the astra-shastravidya experts, soldiers of cavalry, elephantry and foot soldiers, be ever ready.' Prahasta who had even earlier tightened the pracautionary measures, replied: Maha Raja! Well in anticipation of your kind instruction, I have discharged my duties both within, around and the peripheries of Lankapuri which is truly impregnable. Now I would assuredly keep reviewing the enforcement on day to day basis.' Then the King addressed the Maha Sabha: 'Sabhasado! You are all fully aware of the Dharma-Artha-Kama vishayaaka viginaana and the situations arising from Priya-Apriya, Sukha - Duhkha, Laabha- Haani, Hita-ahitas, and of vicharana samardhata. What all you have had performed to upkeep my prestige have borne excellent fruits. Just as Indra Deva enjoys the taste of sweetness of fruits as rooted from plants and trees by the restless combined efforts of Chandra, Graha, Nakshatra, Marud Ganas, I too as your King keep rejoicing the Rajya Lakshmi sukhas; hence, this is my gratitude to you all for ever. Now: What all I have been able to do was always performed with your approval either earlier or as it followed. There was no exception except perhaps Kumbhakarna who has always been sleeping almost continuously. Just now he is perhaps peeping out of the slumber. Iyamcha dandakaaranyad Ramasya Mahishi priya, rakshobhischaritoddhe shaadaaneeta janakarmajah/Saa me na shayyaamaarodhami -cchhatyalagaaminee, trishu lokesh chaanyaa me na Sitamadrushee tathaa/ I had kidnapped Devi Sita the wife of Shri Rama and the dear daughter of King Janaka from dandakaranya, the residence of Rakshasas. I got attracted to her as in my opinion threre is none in trilokas in comparisin to her, what with her flimsy middle of body, heavy vakshojas, the face which puts Sharatkaala Chandra to shame, and an eloquent face and glances as if Mayasura himself created a prototype. But most unfortunately she had been consistently refusing me to get into my bed so far. Saa tu samvatsaram kaalam mama yaachita bhaamini, prateekshnamaana bhartaaram Raamamaayata lochanaa, tanmayaa chaarunetraayaah pratijnaatam vachah shubham/ Vishalanetra maananiya Sita had expressed by her sweet tongue entreated me to wait for a year awaiting her husband's arrival to pick her back and therefore I had to oblige.

(Indeed this was a white and misleading untruth as Aranya Khanda Valmiki Ranayana vide Sarga Fifty Six stanzas 24-25 are quoted for ready reference: As Devi Sita responded haughtily and screamingly, Ravana had rather softly reacted: śṛṇu maithili madvākyam māsān dvādaśa bhāmini, kālenānena nābhyeṣi yadi mām cāruhāsini, tatas tvām prātarāśārtham sūdāś chetsyanti leśaśah/ 'Oh, haasya bhamini! Mithileshwari! Your humorous action does impress your way of dodging me. But mind you, I am granting you adequate notice period of twelve months and in case to do still me weakened your psyche, then I should take you to the royal kitchen and mince your body to pieces!'Then Ravana shouted yelling

to the surroundig rakshasis: śīghram evam hi rākṣasyo vikṛtā ghoradarśanāḥ, darpam asyā vineṣyantu māmsaśoṇita -bhojanāḥ/ You ferocius blood sucking flesh swallowing Maha Rakshasis! You better bring down the ego and arrogance of this woman soon! Then having moved forward by a few steps, returned and shouted: 'You better take her away and shift to 'Ashoka vaatika'. Then Devi Sita got unnerved with fright and misery, fell down to earth crawling and crying remembering Rama Lakshmanas out of desperation and extreme depression, even as the ferocius Rakshasis forcibly dragged her to Ashoka vaatika).

Sarga 12 continued:

Ravanasura further continued his address to the Maha Sabha of Lankapuri: 'Comrades! Right now I am like a weary horse on a long high roads tired of awaiting Sita's affirmation to fall in my bed and am truly suffering the 'kaama jvara' for long time now. As you all know very well that none of enemies be they of celestial or bhuloka or adho lokas could ever dare to attack Lankapuri. Meanwhile one Vanara arrived and created some ruckus here with threats unfortunately as we all had witnessed. Rest assured that no human being like Rama the husband of my dear Sita could ever enter and attack our glorius Rakshasa Samrajya, even if his vanara sena had somehow crossed the Maha Samudra. All the same, I should hear reactions and comments if any! Then Kumbhakarna the Maha Kaaya since fresh from his long spells of deep slumber reacted in reverberating voice:

Brother Ravana: May I at the outset of your love for Sita and your kidnapping her; after all, our combined comment should be that if River Yamuna were to have landed from Yamunetri mountain top to earth then the ferocious speed could not be contained into a kundaka as the overflows would have to submerged into a Maha Sagara. In other words: if your onesided love affair had actually happened, then be prepared for the consequences also! You could have informed this Maha Sabha even far earlier well before extending a hand already burnt! Yah paschaat purvakaaryaani karmanyaabhichikeershatu,purvachaapara karyaani sa na ed nayaanayou/ Chapalasya tu krutyeshu prasemaakshyadhikam balam, cchidramanyo prapadyante krounchasya syamiya dwijaah/ Tyadeyam mahadaarabdham karma hyapratitam paraih, aham sameekarishyyami hatvaa shatrustavaanaghah/ Neeti Shastra underlines the need for prioritizing significant tasks of what to be handled foremost. The need for assessing the strength of enemies before flinging into attacks is the common sense as finding shortcomings and lapses in retrospection would be of wasteful endeavors; this is like the haste of Krouncha birds flying off in haste to the top of the Krouncha Mountain being unaware of the fact that the mountain itself would be broken down any time and then seek to hold the mountain boulders falling down to earth any way. [Before annihilating Tarakasura Skanda Kumara eperimented his 'shakti aayudha' on the Krouncha Parvata; and hence the symbolic simile]. Maha Raja! Even without fore-visioning the consequences, you had talen up a 'dushkarma' of 'Sitaapaharana' like a hungry being consuming 'vishanna' as Rama should never leave you till your death. He has spared you so far but assuredly should hit you to death! Tasmaat tvayaa samaarabhdham karma hyaapratitam paraih, aham sameekarishyaami hatvaa shatrutanaanagha/ Ahamutsaadayishyaami shatrustava Nishaachara, yadi Shakravivasvantou yadi paavakamaarutou, taavaham yodhayishyaami kuberayarunaayapi/Punarmaa sa dwiteeyana sharen nihanishyati, tatoham tasya paasyami rudhiram kaamamaashvasa/ In any case, in the eventuality of attack by your enemies, please rest assured that out of my fraternal affection and admiration of the series of your erstwhile victories, I swear I should smother the shatru sena of Vanaras by lifting and gulping into my mouth as dead or alive. Nishachara Ravana! If your enemy be Indra- Surya-Agni-Vaayu- Kubera- or Varuna, they and their followers would all be but mere fallen heros! As I take up my 'parigha' in the grip of my arms and roar 'simha garjanas', even Devendra would retreat and run away fast from me. Vadhena vai Daashashratheh skuhaavaham jayam tavaahartumaham yatishye, hatvaa cha Raamam saha Lakshmanena khaadaami sarvaan hariyuthamukhyaan/ Ramasva kaamam piba chaagraya vaaruneem kurushva karyaani hitaani vijjvarah, mayaa tu Raame gamito yamakshayam cxhiraaya Sitaa vashagaa bhavishyyati/ Furthermore, Dasharadha nandana, Shri Rama were to attack me, I should be able to kill him too and pave the way to your victory;

believe me!Lakshmana sahita Rama should to be despatched to yamapuri as having fallen dead to dust well beside devouring the Vanara Yodhaas dead or alive! My dearest brother Ravana! Relax and rejoice your victory round the corner with wine as most certainly Sita would surrender to your sweet embrace and to your bed.

[Vishleshana on Kumbhakarna- origin, monstrous physique and Brahma Varas- bravery and basic virtues

Maha Bhagavata Purana explains that the Gate Keepers of Vaikunthapuri of Maha Vishnu named Jaya and Vijaya were cursed to mortality by Maharshis Sanaka-Sanandana-Sanaatana-Sanatkmaras disallowed Vishnu Darshana. But after appealing to Vishnu for assistance, the latter agreed to reduce their sentence to just three lifetimes as his enemies before allowing them to return to Vaikuntha thus as Jaya and Vijaya were Ravana and Kumbhakarna , Kamsa and Shishupaala in Krishnaavataara and Kartaveeryaarjuna and Haihava Kshatriyas in Parashu Ramaavataara. Despite his monstrous size and great appetite, he was described to be of good character, piety and great warrior having defeated Indra too, besides killing and devoured several Vanaras during Rama Ravana battle. Along with his brothers, Ravana and Vibhishana, Kumbhkarna performed a Maha Yagjna and Brahma blessed with a boon that, his tongue was tied by Sarasvati, because of which, instead of asking 'Indraasana' or the seat of Indra, heasked for 'Nidraasana' orbed for sleeping. Again Brahma granted 'Nidravastham' instead of 'Nirdevatvam of total annihilation of Devas, thus. Kumbhakarna slept for six months a year and when awaken, he ate everything in the vicinity.Kumbhakarna had two sons, Kumbha and Nikumbha from his wife Vajramala, who too fought in the war against Rama and were killed]

Sarga Thirteen.

As Rakshasa Mahapaarshva encourages Ravana to force Sita to bed having kidnapped her anyway, Ravana recalls Brahma 's curse to him never to force an unwilling woman to bed, especially after kidnapping

As Kumbhakarna had nodout reprimanded his elder brother for Ravana's kidnapping Devi Sita as the first mistake, yet as a closed chapter of having done so, the younger brother who admired Ravana's past achievements assured that he would provide support in destryoing Vanara sena, and Rama Lakshmanas too and force Sita the very root of the trouble finally to fulfill his earnest derire. Then Rakshasa Veera Maha parshva made an appeal to King Ravana: An old adage explains that a Maha Purusha who entered Dandakaranya and having found an 'amrita kalasha' would not enjoy the divine juice be named as fool! Shatrumadhana Maha Raja! You are not only a parama bhakta of Ishvara but are Ishvara yourself; keep up your chin and keep your hands on the heads of enemies and drag Sita to your bed and enjoy her. Otherwise, when all these talks of yuddha would be wound up! For how long you would have you wait! You are just not concerned with past-present and future as these are all in your tight grip! Is there a personality who could defy your instructions in trilokas! We are truly blessed with gigantic Kumbhakarna and Indrajit who conquered the swarga swami Devendra himself under your mere glances and head nods! Therefore discard the socalled precepts of Saama-Daana-Bheda 'upaayas' which are applicable to normal or even sub-normal beings but certainly not meant for a 'saarvabhouma' of your stature who could comfortably skip and assume the 'danda' at once. If a 'shatru' is to be encounterd then all these numberless veeraas are eveready to smother him.' Thus Mahapaarshva sought to brainwash Ravana as above, King Ravana slowly whispherd: Maha Paarshva nibodha tvam rahasyam kinchidaatmanah, chiravrittam sadaakhyaasye yadvaaptam puraamaya/ Pitaamahasya bhavanam gacchhanteem punjikasthaalaam, chachuryamaanaamadraakshamaa keshogni shikhaamiva/ Saa prahasya mayaa bhyuktaa kritaa vivasnaa tatah, Svayambhubhu bhavananam praaptaa lolitaa naninee yathaa/ Mahaparshvaa! Long ago, a secretive incident occurred; once I was on way to Brahma's residence and found an apsara passingby. She was scared of me and tried to hide herself. I could not resist her figure and beauty. I dragged her, pulled of her vastras and suddenly dragged her and enjoyed her. Tacchha tasya manye jnaatamaaseen -

mahaatmanah, atha sankupito vedhaa maamidam vaakyam abraveet/Adyaprabruti yaamanyaam balaannaareem gamishyasi, tadaa te shatadhaa muurthaam phalishyati na samshayah/ Ityaham tasya shaapasya bheetah prasabhameva taam, narohaye balaan Sitaam Vaidaheem shayane shubhe/ I felt that my misfortune was that Brahma noted the most unfortunate incident. I was then targetted to Lord Brahma's anger as he was terribly annoyed with me. He instructed me stating: 'From now onward, you should never draw a newly found woman to bed forcibly and if you do so, your heads would roll down to pieces. That is why I am mortally scared of doing the act with Sita forcibly. This backgronf of my misfortune is not known to any body else, and certainly not Sita or Rama.Otherwise I am of the parallel of Samudra, a poisonous arrow released, a sure destroyer of Rama banaas, on the battlle front the thousand eyed Indra or Varuna could ever survive and take to 'palaayana' displaying their backs!

Sarga Fourteen

<u>Vibhishana appeals Ravana to release Devi Sita</u>, <u>praising Rama and his valour - Prahasta heckles</u> Vibhishana- as the latter retorts that neither Ravana with 'vyasnaas' nor his followers could match Rama

Kumbhakarna stated that Ravana had nodoubt committed an act of Adharma and was seeking public sympathy, yet despite the indiscretion and rashness having already been perpetrated could not be rolled back off the cause and effect syndrome which was inevitable. Yet present situation would have to be faced with a daring reversal. Considering his high admiration for King Ravana, his glory and his own intimate feelings of affection for his deat elder brother, Kumbhakarna asserted that what with his own individual and inborn physical stature and magnitude of bravery and decisiveness, he would devastate the Vanara Sena icluding Hanuman and Sugriva and smash down the so called skills of archery and heroism of Rama Lakshmanas to pieces to death. It was against this background, Vibhishana then addressed Ravana as follows. 'Maha Raja! why are you still carrying a poisonous Sitanaamaka vishaala maha sarpa as your glorious kireeta still! Looking attractively deceptive this five hooded 'maha naagini' Sita, should be thrown off from your famed visage. Even well before Maha Vaanaras of mountainous stature with their sharp teeth and nails attack Lanka, please hand over Sita Devi to Shri Rama. Well before the vaira tulya arrows released by Rama Lakshmanas pierce through the bakbones of Raksha shiromanis, kindly return to Rama. Maha Raja! these so called Rakshaa veers like Indrajit, Kumbhakarna, Maha Paarshva, Mahodara, Nikumbha, Kumbha, or Atikaaya should most decisively get pierced through by Rama baanaas. Jeevastu Ramasya na mokshase tvam guptah savinnaapyathavaa Marudbhih, na Vaasavasyangkato na mrityornibho na paataalamanupavishthah/ Even Surya or Vaayu, or Indra or Yama might be helpless and bend down in self protection once Rama baanaas chase through the opponents to the high skies or pataala.' That was how Vibhishana threatened Ravana. Then Prahasta remarked: We are never concerned of Deva Danavas and get worried about, least of all 'manushyas'. Incidentally, Vibhishana! What is the meaning of the word named 'Fear'or 'Concern'! We had fought and humiliated Yaksha-Gandharva-Maha Naaga-Pakshi Rajas; what is Rama a mere 'manushva' and which kind of terror that we need to shiver from, anyway!' Viheshana did not relish the way that Prahasta taunted him and addressed him: 'Prahasta! Maha Raja Ravana, or Mahodara, or you or Kumbhakarna are understandably not digestable just as paapaatmaas could avoid the experiences post death. Prahasta! Shri Rama is an able 'artha visharada' and is well equipped the 'karya saadhana'. Just as a huge ship only could cross the maha sagara, how could he ever imagine that his Rakshasa enemies be punished to destruction! Besides being a person with intiative and successful planning, Rama is also a dharmaatma being a product of Ikshvaaku Vamsha; he is an exemplary 'karya sadhana samartha' having a record of Viratha vadha-Kabanbha hatya- Vaali's extermination, and the recent record of Khara Dushana termination; what are you in comparison to resort to 'apahasya'! Prahasta! You are truly not aware of the word named 'fear and fright' as you asked me with humor and hilarity. Yes, once Rama's 'baana ghaata' pierces through your intestines, you might not guess the meaning of the word of fear! But right now you are indulging in 'apahasya'! Mind you Prahasta! Na Ravano naatibalatrishiro na Kubhakarnasya suto Nkumbhah, na chendrajid Daasharthim prayordum tyam yaa rane Shakra samam samarthak/ Deyaantako yaapi

Naraantako vaa tataatikaayotiratho mahatnmaa, Akampanaschaadi samaanasaarah sthaatum na shaktaa yudhi Raghavasya/ Neither Ravana, Mahabali Trishira, Kumbhakarnakumara Nikumbha, Indravijaya Meghanaada could possibly face Dasharadha Nandana Shri Rama. Similarly, Devantaka, Narantaka, Atikaaya, Mahakaaya, Atiratha, Akanpana too could face Shri Rama with gusto. Incidentally, Maha Raja Ravana is 'Sapta Vyasana vasheebhuta' and as such is disabled to think in correct perspective; besides his natural tendency is of egotism and self pride and lack of consideration objectively

[Vishleshana on Sapta Vyasanas of Kings:

Vaagdandyostu paarushamartha dushanameva cha, Paanam stree mrigayaa dyutam vyasavam saptathaa prabho/ Parusha bhashana-danda kathorata-dhana apavyaya-madyapaana- stree- mrigaya - dyuta or arrogant voice- imposement of harsh penalties- extreme love for money- hard liquor drinking habit- sexhunting and gambling.]

Sarga 14 further: Vibhishana concluded his respectful appeal to the King and the 'Sabhaasdaas' finally emphatically that in the interest of the King and his kingdom as also the citizens besides the basic view point of 'dharma and nyaaya', Devi Sita be please handed over to Shri Rama and forestall the 'Lankapuri Vinaashana'

Sargas Fifteen and Sixteen

<u>Indrajit makes fun of Vibhishana- the latter retorts of immaturity of a youth- depite consitent appeals to release Sita, Ravana refuses finally- out of desperation Vibhishana leaves Lanka off for good!</u>

Indrajit then addressed Vibhishana in a taunting tone: Dear uncle! I am a little surprised that you are talking rather loosely despite our family background! Then addressing the Rakshasa Raja, Indrajit said: Dear father! Uncle is now conversing rather funnily despite our heritage with the inborn natural characteristics of bala-veerya-parakrama-dhairya-shourya-tejas. After all, what is the worth of these two Raja Kumaras as mere human beings! Even a common Rakshasa could rattle them unnerved' Then reverting his looks at Vibhishana again, Indrajit said: Of my timid uncle! Beware! Do you not recall that I forced Indra to come down to earth from swarga, as I need to refresh your memory; then the shivering Indra reached Pitaamaha Brahma for refuge and safety when the three crores of Heavenly Celebrities took to their heels. Don't you recall that I had pulled out with my might I pulled off the tusks of Iravata with my mighty hands and threw them away from swarga to bhumi as the deva samuha hid themselves with fer and dismay! I forced Daitya samuha to surrender besides the Deva samuha too and of what worth could be two human beings named Rama and Lakshmana!' As Meghanaada was bragging away on and on, Vibhishana cut short of it and said: Son Indrajit: you are still a lad and your understanding power is still immature and worthy of ignoring as indeed ignorance is blissful. Most unfortunately your absorptive capability appears minimal. That is why your bravado has neither a head or a tail and both appear to you as interchageable. Ko brahma dandapratimaprakaashaanarchishmatah kaalnikaasha rupaan, satet baanaan yaadandakalpaan samakshamuktaana yudhi Raghavena/ Dhanaani tvaani subhushanaani vaasaamsi divyaani maneesca chatraan, Sitaamcha Raamaaya nivedya Deveem vasema rajannih veeta shokaanh/ The mighty arrows to be released by Shri Rama would indeed be like 'brahma dandas' and are of such luminosity as of kaala danda and Yama danda! Who indeed could dilute it or reverse it let alone demolish it. That is why Raja, we discard the splendour of dhana-dhaanya-ratna-aabhushanaas- divya vastras and wish to dedicate ourselves to Shri Rama henceforth!'

Then Ravana then supressed his inner ego and anger gave parting shots to Vibhishana keeping the awareness of his followers in view as follows: 'Brother! They say that an enemy like a poisonous snake on head is bearable then you may stay back here but a so called 'mitra'has to bear the 'shatru seva' then you may leave for mutual good. I am conscious of the jealous instincts of a brother to brother as when

there is a risk element in the offing, then one's own brother tends to part ways rejoicing in the other's peril. As an elder brother on the principle of 'primo geniture' becomes a King and conducts himself on the path of great success the younger fraternity might bear it but once tough situations are in the offing, then relationships get diluted and departed from. The foundations of 'Sajaateyata' or of close family togetherness tend to get shaken and get terminated as hardships tend to smother to all the opportunitists. The old adage states that in a Padmavana a herd of elephants display their togetherness, but even the remote appearance of a hunter on the scene, the bonds of fraternity get severed also create scare precautioning the fellow elephants. Believe me, I am least disturbed even 'agni jwaalaas' surround me, but the back stabbings by one's own fraternity are to be safeguarded against. Upaayamete vakshyanti grahane naatra shashayah, kritnsaad bhayaajnaati bhayam kukushth vihitam cha nah/ Vidyate goshu sampannam vidyate jnatito bhaayam, vidyate streesha chapalatvam vidyatebraahmano tapah/ Tato neshtamidam Soumya yadaham loka satkritah, aishwaryamabhijaatscha ripunaam murdhichasthitah/ But a feeling of getting caught into risky situations due the spitting beans by one of one's kith and kin worries me most. (For instance, the flinging of arrows by Rama on Ravana would be futile and the key to his life is well known to Vibhishana well! Hence the adage that the household secrets are known well by one's own maternal uncle, better than by Ishvara even!) Ravana further continued his tirade against Vibhishana: 'Kula kalanka nishaachara Vibhishana! If ever you be the informer of my personal secrets, then that would be the betrayal leading to my life's termination!' As his own elder brother Rayana spoke rough and rude and offended him to the core, then Vibhishana was partly shaken down and mostly out of frustation and shame flew away up the sky along his close comrades. While on the sky he shouted: Rakshasa Raja! even now, you should realise that your 'vakra budhhi' is getting larger proportions. Dashaanana! My earnest most advice and honest appeal to hand over Devi Sita to return to the invincible Shri Rama even now. But you are refusing it as your distaster bound by 'maha kaala paasha' would uproot not only you but your dedicated rakshasa veeras, Lanka Puri, your own outstanding life accomplishments, your Shiva Bhakti and the entire Rakshas Kula naashana, merely due to your obsession for the parama pativrataa shiromani Devi Sita, who has been consistently asserting that she would rather enter into flames rather than your meanest and dirty offer of Prime Queenship!

Sarga Seventeen

As Vibhishana seeking asylum from Shri Rama, raises doubts of Vaanara Veeras like Surgiva, Angada and so on, Hanuman felt yet that it was genuine for apparent reasons and asks for Rama's instructions.

Itukyahparushamvaakyam rāvanam rāvanānujah, ājagāma muhūrtena yatra rāmah salaksmanah/ tam meruśikharākāram dīptām iva śatahradām, gaganastham mahīsthās te dadṛśur vānarādhipāl/ tam ātmapañcamam dṛṣṭvā sugrīvo vānarādhipah, vānaraiḥ saha durdharṣaś cintayām āsa buddhimān/ cintayitvā muhūrtam tu vānarāms tān uvāca ha, hanūmatpramukhān sarvān idam vacanam uttamam/ eşa sarvāvudhopetas caturbhih saha rāksasaih, rāksaso 'bhveti pasvadhvam asmān hantum na samsavah/ sugrīvasya vacah śrutvā sarve te vānarottamāh, sālān udvamya śailāms ca idam vacanam abruvan/ śīghram vyādiśa no rājan vadhāyaiṣām durātmanām, nipatantu hatāś caite dharaṇyām alpajīvitāḥ/ teṣām sambhāsamānām anyonyam sa vibhīsanah, uttaram tīram āsādya khastha eva vyatisthata/ uvāca ca mahāprājñah svarena mahatā mahān, sugrīvam tāms ca sampreksya khastha eva vibhīsanah/ rāvano nāma durvṛtto rāksaso rāksaseśvarah, tasyāham anujo bhrātā vibhīsana iti śrutah/ tena sītā janasthānād dhṛtā hatvā jaṭāyuṣam, ruddhvā ca vivaśā dīnā rākṣasībhiḥ surakṣitā/ tam aham hetubhir vākyair vividhaiś ca nyadarśayam, sādhu niryātyatām sītā rāmāyeti punaḥ punaḥ/ sa ca na pratijagrāha rāvaṇaḥ kālacoditaḥ, ucyamāno hitam vākyam viparīta ivauṣadham/ so 'ham paruṣitas tena dāsavac cāvamānitaḥ, tyaktvā putrāms ca dārāms ca rāghavam saraņam gataļ/ sarvalokasaraņyāya rāghavāya mahātmane, nivedayata mām ksipram vibhīsanam upasthitam/ etat tu vacanam śrutvā sugrīvo laghuvikramah, laksmanasyāgrato rāmam samrabdham idam abravīt/ rāvanasyānujo bhrātā vibhīsana iti śrutah, caturbhih saha rakşobhir bhavantam śaraṇam gatah/ rāvaṇena praṇihitam tam avehi vibhīṣaṇam, tasvāham nigraham manve ksamam ksamavatām vara/rāksaso jihmavā buddhvā samdisto 'vam

upasthitah, prahartum māyayā channo viśvaste tvayi rāghava/ badhyatām esa tīvrena dandena sacivaih saha, rāvanasya nrśamsasya bhrātā hy esa vibhīsanah/ evam uktvā tu tam rāmam samrabdho vāhinīpatiḥ, vākyajño vākyakuśalam tato maunam upāgamat/ sugrīvasya tu tad vākyam śrutvā rāmo mahābalah, samīpasthān uvācedam hanūmatpramukhān harīn/ yad uktam kapirājena rāvaṇāvarajam prati, vākyam hetumad atvartham bhavadbhir api tac chrutam/ suhrdā hv arthakrcchesu vuktam buddhimatā satā, samarthenāpi samdestum śāśvatīm bhūtim icchatā/ ity evam pariprstās te svam svam matam atandritāh, sopacāram tadā rāmam ūcur hitacikīrṣavah/ ajñātam nāsti te kim cit triṣu lokeṣu rāghava, ātmānam pūjavan rāma prechasv asmān suhrttavā/ tvam hi satvavratah śūro dhārmiko dṛḍhavikramaḥ, parīkṣya kārā smṛtimān nisṛṣṭātmā suhṛtsu ca/ tasmād ekaikaśas tāvad bruvantu sacivās tava, hetuto matisampannāḥ samarthāś ca punaḥ punaḥ/ ity ukte rāghavāyātha matimān angado 'grataḥ, vibhīsanaparīksārtham uvāca vacanam harih/ satroh sakāsāt samprāptah sarvathā sankya eva hi, viśvāsayogyah sahasā na kartavyo vibhīsanah/ chādayitvātmabhāvam hi caranti śathabuddhayah, praharanti ca randhreşu so 'narthah sumahān bhavet/ arthānarthau viniścitya vyavasāyam bhajeta ha, gunatah samgraham kuryād dosatas tu visarjavet/ yadi doso mahāms tasmims tvajyatām aviśankitam, gunān vāpi bahūñ jñātvā saṃgrahah krivatām nrpa/ śarabhas tv atha niścitva sārtham vacanam abravīt, kṣipram asmin naravyāghra cāraḥ pratividhīyatām/ praṇidhāya hi cāreṇa yathāvat sūkṣmabuddhinā, parīkṣya ca tataḥ kāryo yathānyāyam parigrahaḥ/ jāmbavāms tv atha samprekṣya śāstrabuddhyā vicaksanah, vākyam vijñāpayām āsa gunavad dosavarjitam/ baddhavairāc ca pāpāc ca rāksasendrād vibhīsanah, adeśa kāle samprāptah sarvathā śankyatām ayam/ tato maindas tu sampreksya nayāpanayakovidah, vākyam vacanasampanno babhāṣe hetumattaram/ vacanam nāma tasyaiṣa rāvanasva vibhīsanah, prechvatām madhurenāvam śanair naravareśvara/ bhāvam asva tu vijñāva tatas tattvam karişyasi, yadi dṛṣṭo na duṣṭo vā buddhipūrvam nararṣabha/ atha samskārasampanno hanūmān sacivottamah, uvāca vacanam ślaksnam arthavan madhuram laghu/ na bhavantam matiśrestham samartham vadatām varam, atisāyayitum sakto brhaspatir api bruvan/ na vādān nāpi samgharsān nādhikyān na ca kāmatah, vaksyāmi vacanam rājan yathārtham rāmagauravāt/arthānarthanimittam hi yad uktam sacivais tava, tatra dosam prapaśyāmi kriyā na hy upapadyate/ rte niyogāt sāmarthyam avaboddhum na śakyate, sahasā viniyogo hi doṣavān pratibhāti me/ cārapraṇihitam yuktam yad uktam sacivais tava, arthasyāsambhavāt tatra kāranam nopapadvate/ adeśa kāle samprāpta ity ayam yad vibhīsanah, vivaksā cātra me 'stīvam tām nibodha vathā mati/ sa esa deśah kālaś ca bhavatīha vathā tathā, puruṣāt puruṣam prāpya tathā doṣaguṇāv api/ daurātmyam rāvaṇe dṛṣṭvā vikramam ca tathā tvayi yuktam āgamanam tasya sadrśam tasya buddhitah/ ajñātarūpaih purusaih sa rājan prechyatām iti, yad uktam atra me preksā kā cid asti samīksitā/ prechyamāno višanketa sahasā buddhimān vacah, tatra mitram pradusyeta mithyaprstam sukhāgatam/ aśakyah sahasā rājan bhāvo vettum parasya vai, antah svabhāvair gītais tair naipunyam paśyatā bhṛśam./ na tv asya bruvato jātu laksyate dustabhāvatā, prasannam vadanam cāpi tasmān me nāsti samsayah/ asankitamatih svastho na sathah parisarpati, na cāsya duṣṭā vāk cāpi tasmān nāstīha samśayah/ākāraś chādyamāno 'pi na śakyo vinigūhitum, balād dhi vivṛṇoty eva bhāvam antargatam nṛṇām/ deśakālopapannam ca kāryam kāryavidām vara, saphalam kurute ksipram prayogenābhisamhitam/ udyogam tava sampreksya mithyāyrttam ca rāyanam, vālinas ca vadham śrutvā sugrīvam cābhisecitam/ rājvam prārthavamānaś ca buddhipūrvam ihāgatah, etāvat tu puraskrtya yujyate tv asya samgrahah/ yathāśakti mayoktam tu rākṣasasyārjavam prati, tvam pramāṇam tu śesasya śrutvā buddhimatām vara/

As having appealed desperately to Dashaanana Ravana, his elder brother to kindly release Devi Sita and hand over to her dearmost Shri Rama who had already arrived on the other side of the shores of the Maha Sagara and was planning to cross the Sagara to attack Lankapuri, Vibhishana's sincere fraternal advice fell on the arrogant Ravana's deaf ears. Ravana had rejected the appeal and the 'dharma baddha' Vibheshana had no alternative but to depart from Lankapuri to submit himself at Rama's feet. Vibhishana's body was gigantic as of meru parvara shikhara as a human being would normally see him with awe. Accompanying him were four Rakshasa Veeras. He was carrying his 'astra shastras' and was dressed in his 'loha kavacha' with sparkling 'aabhushanas'. As Vibhishana was approaching Shri Rama Lakshmana Sugrivas, Hanuman at his first sight saw him and felt and even expressed in a low tone: Look,

this Rakshasa is perhaps approaching us to attack us.' Reacting to Hanuman's comment, Sugriva had atonce pulled out a Maha Saala Vriksha and a mountain boulder near by and was getting ready to attack the new arrival. Then Vibhishana addressed Sugriva and the co vanaras: rāvaņo nāma durvṛtto rākṣaso rākṣaseśvaraḥ, tasyāham anujo bhrātā vibhīṣaṇa iti śrutaḥ/ tena sītā janasthānād dhṛtā hatvā jaṭāyuṣam, ruddhvā ca vivaśā dīnā rāksasībhih suraksitā/ tam aham hetubhir vākvair vividhais ca nyadarsayam, sādhu niryātyatām sītā rāmāyeti punah punah/ Friends! You are surely aware of Ravanaasura the cruel Rakshasa Raja and I am his younger brother Vibhishana seeking Shri Rama's asylum and protection. The malicious and despicable Rayana kidnapped Devi Sita from the Janasthaana and as the helpless Devi Sita was flying towards Lankapuri by riding his donkey driven chariot, Mahatma Jatayu made all out efforts to save Devi Sita and got hurt and fell down on the Kishkindha Mountain top. Now the Maha Pativrata Devi Sita is right under the custody of Ravana with desperation ever crying away for Shri Rama. I had alerted Ravana that his vicious and despicable act was highly immoral by all standards of dharma and that even at this late stage, Ravana should return to Shri Rama and apologise and that Paramarma would surely pardon Ravana as he had the record of kindness to a true repentant. I made this appeal to the king repeatedly both face to face and in Public Maha Sabha as well. sa ca na pratijagrāha rāvaņah kālacoditah, ucyamāno hitam vākyam viparīta ivausadham/ so 'ham parusitas tena dāsavac cāvamānitah, tyaktvā putrām's ca dārām's ca rāghavam saraṇam gataḥ/ As and when I had humbly submitted by suppliactions, his responded dismissing them always just like a 'maranaasanna purusha' on his death bedrefuses the life saving medicine! Not only this but he had reacted with harshness and that was how and why I have arrived here with my wife and sons seeking asylum of Mahatma Shri Rama. Reacting to Vibhishana's arrival, Sugriva addressed Vanaras as follows: 'Vaanara Veeras! Vibhishana the younger brother of the tyrannical dictator Ravanasura had arrived for Shri Ramas protection'. Having sent the message to convince Vihishana, Sugriva himself rushed to Rama Lakshmanas and shrieked as follows::' Ramaprabho! Kindly note a Rakshasa named Vibhishana has arrived here to join your Vanara Sena suddenly so that as time would permit threaten you and attack you as an owl reaches the group of crows. I assure you that he would state that he would be some use to inform you from time to time the details of how the Rakshasa Veeras would attack you, what should be the pattern of demolishing them, the ways and means of the Rayana's guptacharas as also of our guptachaaras, as per 'neeti shastra', that you are an outstanding samara veera and so on. Rama prabho! the pattern of Rakshasas is distinctive. They are expert 'mayaavis' transforming them selves like Vaanaras, bears or of any species like Mareecha who turned out as Maya Mriga facilitating 'Devi Sitaaharana' by Rayana. There are several chances of Rakshasaas as Vanaras and realise the know how of your followers. Prabho! You are awere that by their very nature, Rakshasas are mayavees. Surely Ravana himself planned this scheme of sending Vibhishana to you. rāksaso jihmayā buddhyā samdisto 'yam upasthitah, prahartum māyayā channo viśvaste tvayi rāghaya/ badhyatām eşa tīvrena dandena sacivaih saha, rāvanasya nṛśamsasya bhrātā hy eṣa vibhīṣaṇah/ Nishpaapa Shri Rama! As directed by Ravana, Vibhishana is now seeking your protection for sure! He deserves to be killed along with his ministers. evam uktvā tu tam rāmam samrabdho vāhinīpatih, vākvajño vākvakuśalam tato maunam upāgamat/sugrīvasva tu tad vākvam śrutvā rāmo mahābalah, samīpasthān uvācedam hanūmatpramukhān harīn/ As thus Vaanara Raja expressed his mercurial imagination and kept silent, Shri Rama looked at Veera Anjaneya and the adjoining select Vanara Yoddhas. Then the collective reaction was: Agnātam nāsti te kim cit trisu lokesu rāghava, ātmānam pūjayan rāma prechasy asmān suhrttayā/ tvam hi satyavratah śūro dhārmiko drdhavikramah, parīksya kārā smṛtimān nisṛstātmā suhṛtsu ca/ Raghunandana! There is nothing in trilokas that you are not aware and still with a view to encouraging us to submit our views. You are a known satyavrata, dharmatma, parakrami, smarana shaktiman with sharp mental intake; all the same, since you desired to test our thinking capacities. Then Shri Rama specifiacally asked Vanara Yuva Raja Angada. The latter stated that since Vibhishna had suddenly arrived with his followers, this is suspicion worthy. Any impromptu decision is not possible; therefore let our own gupachara be asked about the circumstances that might have compelled for Vibhishana' sudden apprarace here. Then maha buddhishaali with considerable experience in battles forwarded his comment: Rakashasa Raja Ravana is a well known sinner of great cunning and his own brother had approached suddenly and hence our eye brow risingness and certianly

investigation worthy. Then the 'neeti-aniti jnaata' Mainda stated that we all should examine him with our sweet converation foremost before taking a decision. Then Veera Hanuman prostrated to Shri Rama and stated: na bhavantam matiśrestham samartham vadatām varam, atiśāyayitum śakto bṛhaspatir api bruvan/ na vādān nāpi samgharṣān nādhikyān na ca kāmataḥ, vakṣyāmi vacanam rājan yathārtham rāmagauravāt/arthānarthanimittam hi vad uktam sacivais tava, tatra dosam prapasvāmi krivā na hv upapadyate/ Prabho! You yourself are a superior most buddiman; even Deva Guru Briahspati is not able to cross the unlimited limits of your sharp capability of desciveness. Whether Vibhishana is worthy of seeing your refuge or not is not a dbatable issue. There was a comment that Sugriva's 'manti mandali' might investigate and report. Only investigations of persons far off are done, and that plea is ruled. adeśa kāle samprāpta ity ayam yad vibhīsanah, vivaksā cātra me 'stīyam tām nibodha yathā mati/ sa esa deśah kālaś ca bhavatīha yathā tathā, purusāt purusam prāpya tathā dosagunāv api/daurātmyam rāvane drstvā vikramam ca tathā tvayi, yuktam āgamanam tasya sadrsam tasya buddhitah/Another plea heard was that under this emergency period which is being faced, the sudden appearance of Vibhishana would be questionable; my comment would be that he would not do so by calculating the 'desha kaala paristhitis' any way. Now within the perepheries of my own understanding, considerations of the timely ness of Vibhishanas appearance here are invalidated and I feel unconvinced; further I am sure that his arrival before a 'maanavottama purusha' and seek his refuge is justified. Maha Raja, another objection raised was that one should not entertain seeking refuge from Rama by an 'aparichita purusha'. May I recall that during my visit to Lankapuri and was bound by Brahmastra, then Vibhishana convinced the villianous Ravana that a messenger should not killed but punished with 'anga viheenata' and thus my tail be put to flames. Further Vibhishana being a great admirer of Rama's 'dharma tatva' he never hesitated approachig him to take refuge from him. Have you not noticed the 'swara bheda' in his submision seeking Rama's protection! Was that sounded artificial or geniune! Normally, if there were to be 'durbhaava' either his visage or presentation that get known to intellectuals like all. But Vibhishana was pleasant and cool. aśańkitamatih svastho na śathah parisarpati, na cāsya dustā vāk cāpi tasmān nāstīha samśayah/ākāraś chādyamāno 'pi na śakyo vinigūhitum, balād dhi vivrnoty eva bhāvam antargatam nṛṇām/ deśakālopapannam ca kāryam kāryavidām vara, saphalam kurute kṣipram prayogenābhisamhitam/ Persons of sinful thoughts and manners would not dare to seek darshan of Shri Rama who is an 'antaryaami'. Thus his sudden arrival here, Vibhishana's seeking Shri Rama's protection appears genuine and legitimate doubtlessly. A Rakhsha of 'maayaavi swarupa' is normally betrayed by his actions and 'haavabhaavaas' but the physical features need not be interpreted as lack of genuineness. Kaaryayetta Raghunandana! Vibhishanas appearance here need not be suspicion-worthy and hence my own feeling. He must have been impacted by 'desha kaala paristhities' and authenticity. udvogam tava sampreksya mithyāvṛttam ca rāvanam, vālinas ca vadham srutvā sugrīvam cābhisecitam/rājyam prārthayamānas ca buddhipūrvam ihāgataḥ, etāvat tu puraskṛtya yujyate tv asya samgrahaḥ/ yathāsakti mayoktam tu rākṣasasyārjavam prati, tvam pramāṇam tu śeṣasya śrutvā buddhimatām vara/ Shri Rama!Having been fully convinced of acts of glory like Vaali Vadha, Sugriva's Rajya Pattabhishka, Rayana's 'duraachaaras, Sugriya's seeking your protection is reasonable and well justified. You may even accept to Sugriva's Rajvabhsheka subsequent your 'Rayana Vadha' and in response to 'sanaatana dharma vetthas' even among Asuras! Surely Vibhishana had arrived at your feet as you being a well known 'sharanaagata'! Buddhimaan shreshtha Raghunaadha! Therefore the depenadabiliy of Vibhishana's arrival here appears to be truthful as per my conscience. Yet you may like to react as per your directive.

Sarga Eighteen

Shri Rama being a 'sharanaagama rakshaka' replies to Sugriva and co vanaraveeraas, especially Veera Anjana Putra, and asks the Vanara King to allow his darshan

atha rāmah prasannātmā śrutvā vāyusutasya ha, pratyabhāṣata durdharṣaḥ śrutavān ātmani sthitam/mamāpi tu vivakṣāsti kā cit prati vibhīṣaṇam, śrutam icchāmi tat sarvam bhavadbhiḥ śreyasi sthitaiḥ/

mitrabhāvena samprāptam na tyajevam katham cana, doso yady api tasva syāt satām etad agarhitam/ rāmasya vacanam śrutvā sugrīvah plavageśvarah, pratyabhāsata kākutstham sauhārdenābhicoditah/ kim atra citram dharmajña lokanāthaśikhāmane, yat tvam āryam prabhāṣethāḥ sattvavān sapathe sthitaḥ/mama cāpy antarātmāyam śuddhim vetti vibhīṣaṇam, anumanāc ca bhāvāc ca sarvataḥ suparīksitah/ tasmāt ksipram sahāsmābhis tulvo bhavatu rāghava, vibhīsano mahāprājñah sakhitvam cābhyupaitu naḥ/ sugrīvasya tad vākyam rāmaḥ śrutvā vimṛṣya ca, tataḥ subhataram vākyam uvāca haripumgavam/ suduşto vāpy aduşto vā kim eşa rajanīcaraḥ, sūkṣmam apy ahitam kartum mamāśaktaḥ katham cana/ piśācān dānavān vaksān prthivvām caiva rāksasān, angulyagrena tān hanvām icchan hariganeśvara/śrūyate hi kapotena śatruh śaranam āgatah, arcitaś ca yathānyāyam svaiś ca māmsair nimantritah/ sa hi tam pratijagrāha bhāryā hartāram āgatam, kapoto vānaraśrestha kim punar madvidho janah/rseh kanvasya putrena kandunā paramarsinā, śrnu gāthām purā gītām dharmisthām satyavādinā/ baddhāñjaliputam dīnam yācantam śaranāgatam, na hanyād ānrśamsyārtham api śatrum param pata ārto vā yadi vā drptaḥ pareṣām śaraṇam gataḥ, ariḥ prāṇān parityajya rakṣitavyaḥ kṛtātmanā/sa ced bhayād vā mohād vā kāmād vāpi na rakṣati, svayā śaktyā yathātattvam tat pāpam lokagarhitam/ vinaṣṭaḥ paśvatas tasva raksinah śaranāgatah, ādāva sukrtam tasva sarvam gacched araksitah/ evam doso mahān atra prapannānām arakṣaṇe, asvargyam cāyaśasyam ca balavīryavināśanam/ kariṣyāmi yathārtham tu kaṇḍor vacanam uttamam, dharmiṣṭham ca yaśasyam ca svargyam syāt tu phalodaye/ sakṛd eva prapannāya tavāsmīti ca yācate, abhayam sarvabhūtebhyo dadāmy etad vratam mama/ānayainam hariśrestha dattam asyābhayam mayā, vibhīsano vā sugrīva yadi vā rāvanah svayam/ tatas tu sugrīvavaco niśamya tad; dharīśvareṇābhihitam nareśvaraḥ, vibhīṣanenāśu jagāma samgamam; patatrirājena vathā puramda/

On hearing the assurances of Hanuman, Shri Rama was pleased and addressed Sugriva and the rest of select Vanara Veeras as follows: No doubt the new attival Vibhishana is a maha raksasa of the very clant of Ravanasura, yet as he had arrived at my refuge: mitrabhāvena samprāptam na tyajevam katham cana, doso yady api tasya syāt satām etad agarhitam/As once, Vishishana had approached me in good faith and conviction, as a 'sharanaagata', I should oblige'. Sugiva reacted: "Rama Swami! This may not be a question of 'dushta or adushta', but indeed of rakshasa origin. The very fact that he could have left his own brother after enjoying all his life with him would sound proper!' Rama addressing Lakshmana smilingly replied: Sumitra nandana! What Sugriva asserts looks that he had digested 'shastra jnaana and gurujana seva'! And the addressed Sugriva: Vbhishana seems to have arrived as my rufuge and as a co raksha king against his enemy rakshasa even the two are they being own brothers and hence his protection for me. Once, Vibhishana was fully convinced that his elder brother was a proven 'adharmi', then he found reasonable to anchor himself to me. Let me assure you that even among rakshasas too there would be 'neeti shastravettas'! Hence, notwithstading all other considerations of birth, upbringing, co existence, one might depart especially after a climactic and continous excessess of adharma and in any case the fundmental kshaatra dharma requires fulfillment of protecton to an enemy. Sugriva! In the Shrishti of Paramatma, all the brothers are not like Bharata for me as having outright rejected a glory of Ayodhya Samrajya nor a unique friendship with you!' Then instantly Sugriva touched Shri Rama's feet and said: Surely, that Maha Paapi Ravana appears to have sent Vibhishana to you Rama! He deserves 'mrityu danda'. Then Shri Rama replied still smilingy: Vanara Raja! whether Vibhishana is good or bad, but to my remotest inner feeling Vibhishana appears to be trustworthy. Sugriva! If only left to my conscience allows me, surely I might destroy all pishacha - daanava-yaksha-rakshasas by my little finger. śrūyate hi kapotena śatruh śaranam āgatah, arcitaś ca yathānyāyam svaiś ca māmsair nimantritah/ sa hi tam pratijagrāha bhāryā hartāram āgatam, kapoto vānaraśreṣṭha kim punar madvidho janaḥ/ One might reacall that in the days of yore one pigeon readily agreed to be to killed an attacking hunter and the latter enjoyed its meat. Then the wife of the pigeon when attacked by the same hunter, she too allowed to get killed likewise willingly! risheh kanvasya putrena kandunā paramarsinā, śrnu gāthām purā gītām dharmisthām satyavādinā/ baddhāñjaliputam dīnam yācantam śaranāgatam, na hanyād ānṛśamsyārtham api śatrum param pata/ārto vā yadi vā drptah pareṣām śaraṇam gatah, ariḥ prāṇān parityajya raksitavvah krtātmanā/ Maharshi Kandu the son of Maharshi narrated the 'dharmavisha'. Never try to kill

a 'sharanaagata' since a person of self respect even from shatru paksha be provided shelter would be the eternal truth. sa ced bhayād vā mohād vā kāmād vāpi na rakṣati, svayā śaktyā yathātattvam tat pāpam lokagarhitam/ vinaṣṭaḥ paśyatas tasya rakṣiṇaḥ śaraṇāgataḥ, ādāya sukṛtam tasya sarvam gacched arakṣitaḥ/ evam doṣo mahān atra prapannānām arakṣaṇe, asvargyam cāyaśasyam ca balavīryavināśanam/ Just as a refugee flees down either due to fear, or even with an ulterior motive like selfish motive or self respect, then do accept him even on face value to the extent possible. Therefore it is amply proven that not doing so sinful. kariṣyāmi yathārtham tu kaṇḍor vacanam uttamam, dharmiṣṭham ca yaśasyam ca svargyam syāt tu phalodaye/ sakṛd eva prapannāya tavāsmīti ca yācate, abhayam sarvabhūtebhyo dadāmy etad vratam mama/ ānayainam hariśreṣṭha dattam asyābhayam mayā, vibhīṣaṇo vā sugrīva yadi vā rāvaṇaḥ svayam/ Hence, Kapishreshtha Sugriva, even if despacthed by Ravana, Vibhishana is most certainly not worthy of being killed and I am accepting Vibhishama accordingly! Then Sugriva said 'Mahatma! I had also felt deep in my inner self like wise particularly since Veera Hanuman too felt like wise,; I have been so far seeking the views of other vanara veeras too merely. Well aware of your dharmika jnaana and self reliance that I am truly proud and ever secure in your hands. Surely, may the arrival of Vibhishana at this critcal juncture be an auspicious omen!

[Brief Visleshana on Shibi Chakravarti and how Indra and Agni Deva sought to test his spirit of self sacrifice:

Agni assumed the form of a pigeon as Indra was chasing as a hawk, the pigeon landed on Shibi's shoulder and took it on his lap providing protection but the hawk demanded the prey's flesh in a human voice, Shibi agreed to provide as much flesh from his own body by a sensitive balance and offered to the halk. Pleased of Shibi's offer, Indra and Agni restored the body flesh of Shibi and declared his universal fame. Source Vishnu Purana.]

Sarga Nineteen

Following in-house deliberation by select Vanara Veeras about Vibhishana's protection, Shri Rama, a 'sharanaagata rakshaka', finally consents and even assures Kingship after Ravana's imminent death.

Rāghaveṇābhaye datte samnato rāvaṇānujaḥ,khāt papātāvanim hṛṣṭo bhaktair anucaraiḥ saha/ sa tu rāmasya dharmātmā nipapāta vibhīsanah, pādayoh śaranānvesī caturbhih saha rāksasaih/abravīc ca tadā rāmam vākyam tatra vibhīsanah, dharmayuktam ca yuktam ca sāmpratam sampraharsanam/ anujo rāvanasyāham tena cāsmy avamānitah, bhavantam sarvabhūtānām śaranyam śaranam gatah/ parityaktā mayā lankā mitrāni ca dhanāni ca, bhavadgatam me rājyam ca jīvitam ca sukhāni ca/rāksasānām vadhe sāhyam lankāyāś ca pradharṣaṇe, kariṣyāmi yathāprāṇam pravekṣyāmi ca vāhinīm/iti bruvāṇam rāmas tu parişvajya vibhīşaṇam, abravīl lakṣmaṇam prītah samudrāj jalam ānaya/tena cemam mahāprājñam abhişiñca vibhīşaṇam, rājānam rakṣasām kṣipram prasanne mayi mānada/ evam uktas tu saumitrir abhyasiñcad vibhīsanam, madhye vānaramukhyānām rājānam rāmaśāsanāt/ tam prasādam tu rāmasya drstvā sadvah plavamgamāh, pracukruśur mahānādān sādhu sādhv iti cābruvan/ abravīc ca hanūmāms ca sugrīvas ca vibhīṣaṇam, katham sāgaram akṣobhyam tarāma varuṇālayam/ upāyair abhigacchāmo yathā nadanadīpatim, tarāma tarasā sarve sasainyā varunālayam/ evam uktas tu dharmajñah pratyuvāca vibhīsanah, samudram rāghavo rājā śaranam gantum arhati/khānitah sagarenāyam aprameyo mahodadhih, kartum arhati rāmasya jñāteh kāryam mahodadhih/ evam vibhīsanenokte rāksasena vipaścitā, prakṛtyā dharmaśīlasya rāghavasyāpy arocata/ sa lakṣmaṇam mahātejāh sugrīvam ca harīśvaram, satkriyārtham kriyādakṣaḥ smitapūrvam uvāca ha/ vibhīṣaṇasya mantro 'yam mama lakşmana rocate, brūhi tvam sahasugrīvas tavāpi yadi rocate/ sugrīvah paṇḍito nityam bhavān mantravicakṣaṇaḥ, ubhābhyām sampradhāryāryam rocate yat tad ucyatām/ evam uktau tu tau vīrāv ubhau sugrīvalaksmanau, samudācāra samyuktam idam vacanam ūcatuh/kimartham no naravyāghra na rocisyati rāghava, vibhīsanena yat tūktam asmin kāle sukhāvaham/ abaddhvā sāgare setum ghore 'smin varunālaye, lankā nāsāditum śakyā sendrair api surāsuraih/ vibhīsanasya śūrasya yathārtham kriyatām

vacaḥ, alam kālātyayam krtvā samudro 'yam niyujyatām/ evam uktaḥ kuśāstīrṇe tīre nadanadīpateḥ , samviveśa tadā rāmo vedyām iva hutāśanah/

As Shri Rama got his 'abhaya mudra' conveyed to Vibhishana and followeres, the latter instantly come down from the skies with great relief and at once fell of Shri Rama's feet out of gratitude. He submitted stating: 'Bhagavan! I am Vibhishana, the younger brother of King of Rakshasaas Ravana, who had put me to shame and grief. Hence, I severed all connections with relatives, associates and life long friends besides my material benefits.' Then Shri Rama smiled pleased and replied affectionately and enquired: Vibhishana! Give me a precise idea of the 'Rakshasabala' of Ravana and in reply Vibishana detailed as follows: 'Raja Kumara! Blessed by Brahma Deva with the boon of invincibility against all His creation like gandharvas, nagas, pakshis and all the rest but however purposively omitted human beings due to his arrogance. Ranana's immediate younger brother if Kumbhakarna, maha tejasvi and parakrami and on the battle field he is as equivalent to Indra Deva himself. Shri Rama, you might have heard of his senapati named Prahasta, who subdued Manibhadra the senapati of Kubera in their mutual battle atop Kailasha Parvata. Ravana's elder son Indrajit with his wheatish coloured body shield and is famed as having countered Indra Deva once but is able to attack his enemies hiding behind clouds and megha garjanas and thus popular as Meghanaada. He pleased Agni Deva with innumerable agni karyas under Daiyta Guru Shukraachaarya and attained enormous shaktis to plan and execute 'vyuha vidya' and by hiding behind the clouds attack with 'shatru prahaaraas' down on earth. Three Maha Rakshasas notorious as 'Lokapaala samaana shaktimaans named Mahodara- Mahapaarshvya and Akampana are the co-senapathis. Lanka Rajya is notorious for Maha Maayaavi- maamsha bhaksha- Rakshasa Veeras of 'dasha koti sahasras' and backed by them constantly defeating to disgrace the 'ashta dikpalakas' under the command of Ravanasura!'

[Vishleshana on 'Ashta Dilpalakas':

Indra, Agni, Yama, Nirruti, Varuna, Vayu, Kubera and Ishana. The 'Dikpalakas' include the thousand eyes Indra in the East stationedin Amaravati on Airavata with Sachi Devi, 'Vajra Ayudha' or thunderbolt, the Celestial Apsarasas and the rest; Agni Deva in South East with his two wives Svaha and Svadha, his Vahana and other belongings; Yama Dharmaraja in the South with his 'Yama danda' (his Symbol the Celestial Rod) along with Chitragupta; Nirruti in the South West with his axe and wife representing Rakshasas'; Varuna Deva in the West with his wife Varuni and 'Pasa' (the noose), drinking Varuni honey and with the King of Fishes as his Vahana (Vehicle) and surrounded by aquatic animals; Vayu Deva in the North West with his wife, forty nine members of his Vayu family along with groups of Yogis adept in Pranayama and other practices along with his Deer Vahana; the King of Yakshas and Unparallelled Possessor of Gems and Jewels Kubera in the North along with his two Shaktis Viriddhi and Riddhi and his Generals Manibhadra, Purnabhadra, Maniman, Manikandhara, Manisyargi, Manibhushana and Manikar Muktadhari; Rudra Deva in the North East with other Rudras who are angry and red eyed, armed and mighty, frightful and revolting, fiery mouthed and detestably distorted, some times ten handed or thousand handed, odd number footed and odd number mouthed; in the company of Bhadrakalis and Matriganas, Rudranis and Pramadhaganas making 'Attahasas' or reverberating screeches and so on. (Source: Devi Bhagavata Purana)]

Sarga Nineteen continued:

As Vibhishana thus provided the broad detalis of Ravana and his sena, Shri Rama reacted: 'Vibhishana! I am aware of Ravana's background, but let me assure you that even if Ravana and his raksasa veeras were to run away to Pataala lokas, or seek Brahma's raksha, I should chase them to 'vinasha' and finally swear as follows: *Ahatvaa Ravanam samkhye sautra jana baandhavam, Ayodhyaam na pravekshyaami tribhistaibhraatribhih shape*/I vow by the honour of my brohers, that in the Maha Sangrama I will devastate Ravana with all his Rakasa Veeras, bandhu bandhava parivaaraas, and then only enter Ayhodhyapuri.' Then Vibhishana so delighted and assured: 'Prabho! I feel truly elated with exciting

enthusiasm and assure you, that I too shouls most certainly join your 'sena' for this epic like 'dharma yuddha' against 'adharma' even at the cost of my very existence.' Having heard what Vishishana swore, Rama was pleased and embraced Vibhishana and then instructed Lakshmana: iti bruvāṇam rāmas tu parişvajya vibhīşaṇam, abravīl lakṣmaṇam prītaḥ samudrāj jalam ānaya/tena cemam mahāprājñam abhisiñca vibhīsanam, rājānam raksasām ksipram prasanne mavi mānada/ evam uktas tu saumitrir abhyaşiñcad vibhīşanam, madhye vānaramukhyānām rājānam rāmaśāsanāt/ tam prasādam tu rāmasya dṛṣṭvā sadyaḥ plavamgamāḥ, pracukruśur mahānādān sādhu sādhv iti cābruvan/ 'Sumitra nandana! Please fetch the sacred waters from this Maha Sagara, so that we should all celebrate Rajyabhisheka to Dharmajna Vibhishana. On hearing Rama's annoucement, the surrounding Maha Veera Vanara Sena jumped up and down with dances and drumbeatings followed by Vibhishana's Rayabhisheka by Rama-Lakshmana-Sugrivaas and Hanuman -Angada-Jambavan prabhrutis to the joyous samudra garjanas in the background. As the mood was cooled down somewhat, Vera Hanuman asked Vibhishana: 'Rakshasa Raja! Please enlighten us as to how now to cross this Maha Sagara by all the Maha Vaanara Sena led byShri Rama Lakshana Sugrivas and us all. Then Dharmatma Vibhishana submitted: 'Raghu Vamsha Mahaparakrama Shri Rama may please like to invoke Samudra Deva. Shri Rama is of the very clan of Maha Sargara Raja and of the Surya Vamsha, and as such Samudra Deva should oblige Rama's invocations and appeals to him and become some what reduce his fury and cool down.' Then Sugriva too reacted that Vishishana's advice was truly laudable and suggested that let the arrangements of agni deva pratishtha in the seashores be made; there after, Shri Rama having settled on a 'darbhasana' initiated the invocations to Samudra Deva.

Sargas Twenty and Twenty One

- a) Ravana's spy Shardula informed of the arrival of Maha Vanara Sena at the Samudra teera, Ravana asked Shuka as parrot to Sugriva and try 'bhedopaaya'who wished to kill him but for Rama!
 b) Rama invoked Samudra Deva for three days long, lost patience and threatned by shooting arrows.
- a) As Duratma Rayana despatched a guptachari named Shardula Rakshasa witnessed the proceedings of a huge vanarasa sena having arrived at the shores of the Maha Sagara and their enthusistc screamings and reached back Ravana's Sabha and as in their midst were seated Maha Tejasvis Rama- Lakshmanas. Shardula said further: Maha Raja! As per your personal instruction, I have brought this update as soon as I arrive here and thus you may like to return Sita Devi or otherwise as per your kind instruction.' On hearing this provocative information, Ravana was infuriated and stood up like a thousand tiger leap from his throne, as the chief Economist Shuka Maha Rakshasa was summoned by Ravana and brifed him to reach the seashores urgently and approach Sugriva the King of Vanaras and tackle him to utilise the 'bhedopaaya'and having assumed a parrot form and whisper to him: 'King of Vanaras! You do belong to a superior and distinguished heritage of Vanaras who had defeated King Vaali himself to death and accomplished the throne. Then therefore as a king to king advice Rayana the King of Asuras would be to quietly return to Kishkindha and leave Rama Lakshmanas to their fate. We would then settle our mutual terms eventually to your entire satisfaction'. On hearing the message, Sugiva had atonce caught the parrot's neck and tried to smother the bird's neck and threw it on the sandy ground; as the parrot screeched for help Rama raised his tone and said: Sugriva! Please do not kill a mere messenger!' At once, Sugriva then responded: 'Paramatma Shri Rama! This parrot is not a bird but a Maha Rakshasa turned into Parrot form and thus should to killed. Shri Rama regaining his characteriscic composure stated: Sugriva! Whether being a rakshasa or in a parrot form, he is after all a messenger only! so leave him free.
- b) Tasya rāmasya suptasya kuśāstīrne mahītale, niyamād apramattasya niśās tisro 'ticakramuḥ/ na ca darśayate mandas tadā rāmasya sāgaraḥ, prayatenāpi rāmeṇa yathārham abhipūjitaḥ/ samudrasya tataḥ kruddho rāmo raktāntalocanaḥ, samīpastham uvācedam lakṣmaṇam śubhalakṣmaṇam/ paśya tāvad anāryasya pūjyamānasya lakṣmaṇa, avalepam samudrasya na darśayati yat svayam/ praśamaś ca kṣamā

caiva ārjavam priyavāditā, asāmarthyam phalanty ete nirgunesu satām gunāh/ātmapraśamsinam dustam dhrstam viparidhāvakam, sarvatrotsrstadandam ca lokah satkurute naram/ na sāmnā śakyate kīrtir na sāmnā śakyate yaśaḥ, prāptum lakṣmaṇa loke 'smiñ jayo vā raṇamūdhani/ adya madbāṇanirbhinnair makarair makarālayam, niruddhatoyam saumitre plavadbhih pasya sarvatah/ mahābhogāni matsyānām karinām ca karān iha, bhogāms ca pasva nāgānām mavā bhinnāni laksmana/ sasankhasuktikā jālam samīnamakaram śarai, adya yuddhena mahatā samudram pariśoṣaye/kṣamayā hi samāyuktam mām ayam makarālayaḥ, asamartham vijānāti dhik kṣamām īdṛśe jane/ cāpam ānaya saumitre śarāmś cāśīvisopamān, advāksobhvam api kruddhah ksobhavisvāmi sāgaram/ velāsu krtamaryādam .sahasormisamākulam, nirmaryādam karisyāmi sāyakair varunālayam/ evam uktvā dhanuspānih krodhavisphāriteksanah, babhūva rāmo durdharso yugāntāgnir iva jvalan/ sampīdva ca dhanur ghoram kampayitvā śarair jagat, mumoca viśikhān ugrān vajrānīva śatakratuh/ te jvalanto mahāvegās tejasā sāyakottamāh, pravišanti samudrasya salilam trastapannagam/ tato vegah samudrasya sanakramakaro mahān, sambabhūva mahāghorah samārutaravas tadā/ mahormimālāvitatah sankhasuktisamākulah, sadhūmaparivṛttormiḥ sahasābhūn mahodadhiḥ/ vyathitāḥ pannagāś cāsan dīptāsyā dīptalocanāḥ, dānavās ca mahāvīrvāh pātālatalavāsinah/ ūrmavah sindhurājasva sanakramakarās tadā, vindhyamandarasamkāśāḥ samutpetuḥ sahasraśaḥ/āghūrnitatarangaughaḥ sambhrāntoragarākṣasaḥ, udvartita mahāgrāhah samvrttah salilāsayah/

Observing three day long fasting seated with darbhasana in the seashore amid Sugriva Vibhshana and the maha vanara veeras behind the ever dutiful Lakshmanas as per the 'niyamaavali' viz. Yama, Niyama, Aasana, Pranahaara, Pratyaahaari, Dharana, Dhyana and Samaadhi. samudrasya tatah kruddho rāmo raktāntalocanah, samīpastham uvācedam laksmanam subhalaksmanam/ pasva tāvad anārvasva pūjyamānasya laksmana, avalepam samudrasya na daršavati vat svayam/ prašamaš ca ksamā caiva ārjavam priyavāditā, asāmarthyam phalanty ete nirguņeşu satām guņāh/Then Shri Rama got up vexed up with red eyes and addressed Lakshmana with anger: It is clear by now that Samudra is ignoring me with 'ahamkaara' despite my venerations of three day long fastings, sleeplessness and ashtanga yoga followed by agni based invocations. 'Gunavaan purushas' with self sacrifices and 'niyama maarga' are getting totally ignored out of negligence and callousness, ātmapraśamsinam dustam dhrstam viparidhāvakam, sarvatrotsṛṣṭadaṇḍam ca lokah satkurute naram/ Those who resort to praises and extollings enen being dushta-ghrushta- durgunas appear to be the winners and the truly honest dharama sheelas are the losers apparently and imagine that this is the way of frank and sincere life!na sāmnā śakyate kīrtir na sāmnā śakyate yaśah, prāptum laksmana loke 'smiñ jayo vā ranamūdhani/ adya madbānanirbhinnair makarair makarālayam, niruddhatoyam saumitre plavadbhih pasya sarvatah/ mahābhogāni matsyānām kariṇām ca karān iha, bhogāms ca pasya nāgānām mayā bhinnāni lakṣmaṇa/ Lakshmana! Neither 'Saamaneeti or Shanti neeti' leads to success in life or keerti, nor dharma yuddhas lead to victories in battles, but only kathora danda prahaaras are the requirements of the day; therefore Sumitra nandana! Now with my arrows, the big fishes, crocodiles and giant sized whales form the popular maharaalaya Samudra should be devastated with the never imaginainable shake up. So saying, the terribly upset Shri Rama raised his dhanush by his hands with decisiveness and released his fierce arrows as if Mahendra threw his vajrayudha. Then the rains of 'Rama Banaas' having forcefully entered the Maha Sagara Jalas, the instant reaction of multi hooded Maha Nagas jumped up the beyond limits sky high. So did the massive crocodiles and whales were shaken by the bana varshaas. Then as the Maha Samudra's ever rising waves further and further, Maha Rakshasas underneath well settled for ages were rattled and rose sky high adding to further chaos and bedlam. Lakshmana restrained Rama who was getting further worked up and said: dearmost brother, please control and the breaking acme might lead to a universal catostrophy'. Not any futher, and please restraint!!'

Sargas Twenty Two-Four

Maha Sagara himself personified restraining Rama's fury-advised Vanara's 'maha shilpi', the method of constructing 'Setu Bandhana' to facilitate Ramas and the huge Vanara Sena to cross the Maha Sagara.

Tato madhyāt samudrasya sāgarah svayam utthitah, udayan hi mahāśailān meror iva divākarah/ pannagaih saha dīptāsyaih samudrah pratyadrśyata, snigdhavaidūryasamkāśo jāmbūnadavibhūsitah/ raktamālyāmbaradharah padmapatranibhekṣaṇaḥ,sāgaraḥ samatikramya pūrvam āmantrya vīrvavān, abravīt prāñjalir vākvam rāghavam sarapāninam/ prthivī vāvur ākāsam āpo įvotis ca rāghavaḥ, svabhāve saumya tiṣṭhanti śāśvatam mārgam āśritāḥ/ tat svabhāvo mamāpy eṣa yad agādho 'ham aplavaḥ, vikāras tu bhaved rādha etat te pravadāmy aham/ na kāmān na ca lobhād vā na bhayāt pārthivātmaja, grāhanakrākulajalam stambhavevam katham cana/vidhāsve rāma venāpi visahisve hv aham tathā, grāhā na praharisyanti yāvat senā tarisyati/ ayam saumya nalo nāma tanujo viśvakarmanah, pitrā dattavarah śrīmān pratimo viśvakarmanah/esa setum mahotsāhah karotu mayi vānarah, tam aham dhārayisyāmi tathā hy esa yathā pitā/ evam uktvodadhir nastah samutthāya nalas tatah, abravīd vānaraśrestho vākyam rāmam mahābalah/ aham setum karisyāmi vistīrne varunālaye, pituh sāmarthyam āsthāya tattvam āha mahodadhih/ matur varo datto mandare viśvakarmaṇā, aurasas tasya putro 'haṁ sadršo višvakarmanā/ na cāpv aham anukto vai prabrūvām ātmano gunān, kāmam advaiva badhnantu setum vānarapumgavāh/ tato nisrstarāmena sarvato hariyūthapāh, abhipetur mahāranvam hrstāh śatasahasraśah/ te nagān nagasamkāśāh śākhāmrgaganarşabhāh, babhañjur vānarās tatra pracakarşuś ca sāgaram/ te sālaiś cāśvakarņaiś ca dhavair vamsais ca vānarāḥ, kuṭajair arjunais tālais tikalais timiśair api/ bilvakaih saptaparnaiś ca karnikāraiś ca puspitaih, cūtaiś cāśokavṛkṣaiś ca sāgaram samapūrayan/ samūlāms ca vimūlāms ca pādapān harisattamāh, indraketūn ivodyamya prajahrur harayas tarūn/ prakṣipyamāṇair acalaiḥ sahasā jalam uddhatam, samutpatitam ākāśam apāsarpat tatas tatah/ daśayojanayistīrnam śatayojanam āyatam, nalaś cakre mahāsetum madhye nadanadīpateh/ śilānām kṣipyamāṇānām śailānām tatra pātyatām, babhūva tumulaḥ śabdas tadā tasmin mahodadhau/ sa nalena krtah setuh sāgare makarālaye, śuśubhe subhagah śrīmān svātīpatha ivāmbare/ tato devāh sagandharvāh siddhāś ca paramarsayah, āplavantah plavantaś ca garjantaś ca plavamgamāh/ tam acintyam asahyam ca adbhutam lomaharsanam, dadrsuh sarvabhūtāni sāgare setubandhanam/tāni kotisahasrāni vānarānām mahaujasām, badhnantah sāgare setum jagmuh pāram mahodadheh/ viśālah sukṛtaḥ śrīmān subhūmiḥ susamāhitaḥ, aśobhata mahāsetuḥ sīmanta iva sāgare/tataḥ pare samudrasya gadāpānir vibhīsanah, paresām abhighatārtham atisthat sacivaih saha/ agratas tasva sainvasva śrīmān rāmah salaksmanah, jagāma dhanvī dharmātmā sugrīvena samanvitah/ anye madhyena gacchanti pārśvato 'nye plavamgamāḥ, salile prapatanty anye mārgam anye na lebhire, ke cid vaihāyasa gatāḥ suparnā iva pupluvuh/ ghosena mahatā ghosam sāgarasya samucchritam, bhīmam antardadhe bhīmā tarantī harivāhinī/ vānarā/nām hi sā tīrnā vāhinī nala setunā, tīre niviviśe rājñā bahumūlaphalodake/ tad adbhutam rāghava karma duskaram; samīksya devāh saha siddhacāranaih, upetya rāmam sahitā maharsibhih; samabhyasiñcan suśubhair jalaih pṛthak/ jayasva śatrūn naradeva medinīm; sasāgarām pālaya śāśvatīḥ samāḥ, itīva rāmam naradevasatkṛtam; śubhair vacobhir vividhair apūjayan/

As Maha Sagara Murti assumed a human form and stood up high on the waves he was like the Meru Parvata at the time of rising 'Udayaachala Bhanu Deva' in person. He made his 'pratyaksha darshana' as if ornamented with Maha Sarpas with their hoods glittering with unique 'vaidurya manis' famed as 'jambunada suvarna mani kaanti'! Samudra Deva was at that timepresented himself with narural silk robes of blood red colour with matching blood red ornanments, even as Maha Nagaas and Rakshasaas deep underneath the Maha Sagara were attacked by shock waves; then the Maha Sagara Murti advanced himself facing Shri Rama and addressed him as follows: pṛthivī vāyur ākāśam āpo jyotiś ca rāghavaḥ, svabhāve saumya tiṣṭhanti śāśvatam mārgam āśritāḥ/ tat svabhāvo mamāpy eṣa yad agādho 'ham aplavaḥ, vikāras tu bhaved rādha etat te pravadāmy aham/ na kāmān na ca lobhād vā na bhayāt pārthivātmaja, grāhanakrākulajalam stambhayeyam katham cana/ vidhāsye rāma yenāpi viṣahiṣye hy aham tathā, grāhā na prahariṣyanti yāvat senā tariṣyati/Soumya Raghu nandana! As you are well aware the Pancha Maha Bhutas in Srishti viz. Prithivi- Aapas- Tejas- Vaayu-Akashaas viz. Earth-Water-Fire-Air and Sky have to necessarily bound by their own nature and set course, and never beyond. I am too like Varuna Deva bound by similar set course; none is aware of my depths nor surmount ability. Raja Kumara! The grand manner in which one could swim across the hundred yojana length of this Maha

Sagara is beyond the limits by one's wishfulness, greed, anger, arrogance, threats or prayers. All the same, I could suggest the way out by which you, the vast Vanara Sena and associates by which neither I would me harassed nor you. I should be placid and least disturbed yet easy enough to you all'. As Samudra Deva thus suggested the principle to be followed thus, he further informed Shri Rama: ayam saumya nalo nāma tanujo viśvakarmanah, pitrā dattavarah śrīmān pratimo viśvakarmanah/esa setum mahotsāhaḥ karotu mayi vānaraḥ, tam aham dhārayiṣyāmi tathā hy eṣa yathā pitā/ evam uktvodadhir naṣṭaḥ samutthāya nalas tataḥ, abravīd vānaraśreṣṭho vākyam rāmam mahābalaḥ/ aham setum kariṣyāmi vistīrne varunālave, pituh sāmarthvam āsthāva tattvam āha mahodadhih/ Soumya! In your Vaanara Sena, you have a bright Nala kumara the son of Vishvakarma the supreme Shilpavetta of Devas. I am aware that you always have a soft corner for him. Like his father, he is an undisputed expert in the profession. You may therefore enrust the task of 'setu bandhana'. Then Nala Vanara agreed to the duty as well as his father taught him. tato nisrstarāmena sarvato hariyūthapāh, abhipetur mahāranyam hṛstāh śatasahasraśah/ te nagān nagasamkāśāh śākhāmrgaganarṣabhāh, babhañjur vānarās tatra pracakarṣuś ca sāgaram/ te sālaiś cāśvakarnaiś ca dhavair vamsais ca vānarāh, kutajair arjunais tālais tikalais timiśair api/ As instruted directly by Shri Rama himself, having realised Nala's assuming the responsibility, Vanara Sena's excitement was truly evident even as they ran into the adjoining forests. Being of huge like body frames, the Maha Vanaras searched 'parvata shikharaas' for the tall and strong trees and having pulled them down dragged them as heaps on the 'samudra tata'. The maha vrikshas included Saala-Ashvakarna-Dhava-Kutaja- Arjuna-Taala-Tilaka-Tinisha-Bel-Chhitavana-Kanera-Ashokas. As the vrikshas were pulled out, some vanaras were entrusted with the duty of cutting off the roots. The tree trunks once spread as heaps the sounds of flinging them was getting more and more were intense. Once selected for floating, 'yantra sahaayata' or the help of appropriate machinery and machine tools was invented too. Simultaneously mountain stones and boulders too were rolled down. As the Vanara groups were entrusted the duty of dropping the boulders, there were huge alarming noises. On the other side some vararas with their deft handiwork got busy in shapefully arranging and tying together the borders of the floating bridge. Vaanara veera Nala thus started off the wonderstriking task of bridge construction suucessfully. Sa nalena kṛtaḥ setuḥ sāgare makarālaye, śuśubhe subhagaḥ śrīmān svātīpatha ivāmbare/tato devāh sagandharvāh siddhāś ca paramarsayah, āplavantah plavantaś ca garjantaś ca plavamgamāh/ daśayojanavistīrnam śatayojanam āvatam, nalaś cakre mahāsetum madhye nadanadīpateḥ/Thus Nala Vaanara constructed the unbelievable 'setu bandhana maha karya' under his auspicies. At that time, Deva-Gandharva-Siddha-Maharshis collected as groups awe striken with admiration and approbation. Nala's readied setu bandhana was of the length of hundred vojanas, width of ten yojanas. tāni kotisahasrāni vānarānām mahaujasām, badhnantah sāgare setum jagmuh pāram mahodadheh/ viśālah sukṛtah śrīmān subhūmih susamāhitah, aśobhata mahāsetuh sīmanta iva sāgare/tataḥ pare samudrasya gadāpāṇir vibhīṣaṇaḥ, pareṣām abhighatārtham atiṣṭhat sacivaiḥ saha/ In this manner, sahasra koti vaanara sena had truly suceeded in the none too precedented and none too futuristic 'epic karya'! The bridge is atonce broad, huge, attractive, fanatastic, even and amazingly well knit and engineered, awe striking and outstanding.

[Vishleshana on a Squirrel and Setu Bandhana:

Shri Rama and Sugriva's arbuda strong Vanaraa Sena was dedicated to Rama Kaarya to attack the evil Ravanasura in the objective of Setu Bandhana. The sena was totally engaged, as some pulled up mountain boulders, some uprooting maha vrikshas and throwing their heavy branches down to the Maha Samudra, some with collecting the dropped branches down into a floating bridge making skilled engineers and their work force, and the architects and their workers, and son literally labourong round the clock. Witnessing the full force of the Vanarasa sena, Shri Rama was so happy admiring the dedication and dynamism of the Vanara Sena, Shri Rama was overwhelmed with the 'bhaki'. During this course of action, Rama witnessed a small brown Squirrel, going up and down the Seashore with little pebbles in its small mouth and carrying them from the seashore and dropped them into the Maha Sagara. A hugeVanara was carrying a large mountain boulder on his shoulder as the squirrel came in his way. The Maha Vanara jumped back

and thundered 'you litt le brat of a squirrel and stepped back; hopr you are alive as you could be a casuality, what are you doing here! The little squirrel looked up at the great Vanara: I am sorry, brother Maha Varara! As the small voice: Are you not able to see that in my own way am carrying on my duty with diligence and devotion in my own humble manner of the unique Swami Rarya! I ma also helpingShri Rama to build the bridge; I wish to work hard for him. 'As the squirrel screamed in its own hihg pitch of voice, the Maha Vanara carrying the boulder on his shoulder, tauned addressing the fellow Maha Vanara: 'Did you hear that!; a squirrel is building a bridge with his pebbles. I have never heard a funnier story like this'. Then there was arourig response from the co Maha Vanaras. The squirrel never felt humiliated but took its ground angrily: 'Look, I may not carry mountains or boulders, as Almighty granted only a little strength. I can only carry pebbles. But my heart mels out as how Bhagavan Shri Rama has been sufferng Maha Pativrata Devi Sita's viyoga and had been crying away incesantly and hence I could do so to the best of my own capability'! Then one Vanara picked up the squirrel's tail at a mere creatuure had been hindering the massive task ahead and threw it far away as the squirrel, crying out the name of Rama, fell into his hands; he held the squirrel close to him and stated: Maha Vanara's! Please do not make fun of the weak and the small. Your strength or what you do is certainly invaluable. Yet what matter is this little squirrel's has love in his heart. You are brave and strong and are doing a wonderful task og bringing all these huge boulders and stones from far and dropping them in the Maha Sagara. But do you not notice that it is the tiny pebbles and stones brought by this small squirrel and some of the other smaller creatures which are filling the small gaps left between the huge stones? Further, do you not realize that the tiny grains of sand brought by this squirrel are the ones which bind the whole structure and make it strong? Yet you scold this small creature and fling him away in anger! Hearing this, the Vanaras were ashamed, and bowed down their heads. Rama continued, 'Always remember, however small, every task is equally important. A project can never be completed by the main people alone. They need the support of all, and however small, an effort should always be appreciated!' Having stated thus Shri Rama then turned to the squirrel and said softly, 'My dear squirrel, I am sorry for the hurt caused to you by my army, and thank you for the help you have rendered to me. Please go and continue your work happily.' Saying this, he gently stroked the back of the squirrel with his fingers, and three lines appeared where Bhavagan Rama's fingers touched it and passed his fingers gently over the little squirrel's back. As put it him down there were three white stripes on his back. Indeed, no task and service to Sri Rama, however small, is unimportant! Every task should be looked upon as service to Rama as neither do big or small. In Bhagavad-gita 9.27 Krishna says:yat karoshi yad asnasi yaj juhoshi dadasi yat, yat tapasyasi kaunteya, tat kurushva mad-arpanam/ Whatever you do, whatever you eat, whatever you offer or give away, and whatever austerities you perform, do thatas an offering to Me'. Sources: Bhagavata Purana

As the 'setubandhana karya' was concluded, Vibhishana along with his ministers picked up their maces, bows and arrows with 'divyastraas' on hands wearing 'loha kavachas' and select vaanara veeras moved forward to the other end of the bridge to face any possible attacks by the Mayavi Rakshasas. agratas tasya sainyasya śrīmān rāmah salaksmanah, jagāma dhanvī dharmātmā sugrīvena samanvitah/anye madhyena gacchanti pārśvato 'nye plavamgamāḥ, salile prapatanty anye mārgam anye na lebhire, ke cid vaihāyasa gatāḥ suparṇā iva pupluvuḥ/ ghoṣeṇa mahatā ghoṣaṁ sāgarasya samucchritam, bhīmam antardadhe bhīmā tarantī harivāhinī/' Now, Dhanurdhara Shri Rama Lakshmanas as accompanied by the King of Vaanaras and the Maha Vaanara Pramukhas Sena moved forward in the Southern Side. The Vanara sena as moving ahead with discipline yet with hysterical 'Ninaadaas of Jai Jai Shri Rama'appeared to have added to the 'Maha Samudra Ghosha'! Slowly and well controlled Maha Vanara Sena this moved ahead with contolled regulation. tad adbhutam rāghava karma duskaram; samīksya devāḥ saha siddhacāraṇaiḥ, upetya rāmam sahitā maharṣibhiḥ; samabhyaṣiñcan suśubhair jalaiḥ pṛthak/ jayasva śatrūn naradeva medinīm; sasāgarām pālaya śāśvatīḥ samāḥ, itīva rāmam naradevasatkṛtam; śubhair vacobhir vividhair apūjavan/On visioning this miraculous act of 'setu bandhana' as concieved and executed by Shri Rama the 'Yuga Purusha', Siddhha- Charana- Maharshis had duly performed their respective manasika abhishekaas' with sacred waters blessing the success of 'Rama Karya' of dharma

and Bhagavat Gita].

yuddha'. They introspected whithin their respective hearts, stating: 'Nara Deva! May you be exalted to unique and everlasting grandeur through Yugas as the one and only 'Prithvi Paripaalaka'!

Sarga Twenty Five

As Rama with Vanara Sena had finally crossed the Sagara, the flustered Ravana despatched Shukha-Saaranas as Vanaras, Vibhishana gets them caught, but the kind Rama releases yet with an alert message.

Sabale sāgaram tīrne rāme daśarathātmaje, amātyau rāvanah śrīmān abravīc chukasāranau/ samagram sāgaram tīrnam dustaram vānaram balam, abhūtapūrvam rāmena sāgare setubandhanam/ sāgare setubandham tu na śraddadhyām katham cana, avaśyam cāpi samkhyeyam tan mayā vānaram balam/ bhavantau vānaram sainyam praviśyānupalaksitau, parimānam ca vīryam ca ye ca mukhyāh plavamgamāh/ mantriņo ye ca rāmasya sugrīvasya ca sammatāh, ye pūrvam abhivartante ye ca śūrāh plavamgamāḥ/ sa ca setur yathā baddhaḥ sāgare salilārṇave, niveśaś ca yathā teṣām vānarāṇām mahātmanām/ rāmasva vvavasāvam ca vīrvam praharanāni ca, laksmanasva ca vīrasva tattvato jñātum arhatha/ kaś ca senāpatis teṣām vānarāṇām mahaujasām, etaj jñātvā yathātattvam śīghram agantum arhathaḥ/ iti pratisamādiṣṭau rākṣasau śukasāraṇau, harirūpadharau vīrau praviṣṭau vānaraṁ balam/ tatas tad vānaram sainyam acintyam lomaharsanam, samkhyātum nādhyagacchetām tadā tau śukasāranau/ tat sthitam parvatāgresu nirdaresu guhāsu ca, samudrasya ca tīresu vanesūpavanesu ca/ taramāṇam ca tīrṇam ca tartukāmam ca sarvaśaḥ, niviṣṭam niviśac caiva bhīmanādam mahābalam/ tau dadarśa mahātejāh pracchannau ca vibhīṣaṇaḥ, ācacakṣe 'tha rāmāya gṛhītvā śukasāraṇau lankāyāḥ samanuprāptau cārau parapuramjayau/ tau drstvā vyathitau rāmam nirāsau jīvite tadā, krtāñjalipuṭau bhītau vacanam cedam ūcatuh/ āvām ihāgatau saumya rāvaņaprahitāv ubhau, parijnātum balam kṛtsnam tavedam raghunandana/ tayos tad vacanam śrutvā rāmo daśarathātmajah, abravīt prahasan vākyam sarvabhūtahite ratah/yadi dṛstam balam kṛtsnam vayam vā susamīksitāh, yathoktam vā kṛtam kāryam chandatah pratigamyatām/ praviśya nagarīm lankām bhavadbhyām dhanadānujah, vaktavyo raksasām rājā yathoktam vacanam mama/ yad balam ca samāśritya sītām me hṛtavān asi, tad darśaya yathākāmam sasainvah sahabāndhavah/ śvahkāle nagarīm lankām saprākārām satoranām, rāksasam ca balam paśva śarair vidhvamsitam mavā/ ghoram rosam aham moksve balam dhārava rāvana, śvahkāle vairavān vajram dānaveşv iva vāsavaḥ/ iti pratisamādiṣṭau rākṣasau śukasāraṇau, āgamya nagarīm lankām abrūtām rāksasādhipam/ vibhīsanagrhītau tu vadhārhau rāksaseśvara, drstvā dharmātmanā muktau rāmenāmitatejasā/ ekasthānagatā yatra catvārah purusarsabhāh, lokapālopamāh śūrāh krtāstrā drdhavikramāh/ rāmo dāśarathih śrīmāml laksmanaś ca vibhīsanah, sugrīvaś ca mahātejā mahendrasamavikramah/ ete śaktāh purīm lankām saprākārām satoranām, utpātya samkrāmayitum sarve tisthantu vānarāh/Yaadrisham tadvi Ramasya rupam praharanaanicha, vadhivyati pureem Lankamekatishthantu te trayah/Rama Lakshmanaguptaasaa Sugrivena cha vaahini, babhuva durdharshataa sarvayrapi Suraasuraih/ Prahashtha yodhaa dhvajini mahatmaanam vanaikaseenaam samapti yoddhamicchhaataam, alam yirodhena shamo yidheeyataam pradeeyataam Dashrathaaya Maithileem/

Literally flustered by Rama's arrival along with the huge Vanara Sena at his door step, looked at his Ministers Shuka Saaranas that to the cross Maha Sagara should be indeed impossible and the miracle act of seta bandhaana should be dream work. Now that such a non reality had happened, it should now be essential to obtain some facts like what would be approximation of the size and strength of the Vanara Sena. Then he addressed the mantris: 'Both of you should now enter in a manner not to be recognised and get an idea of the number, magnitude and strength, who are all the prominent ones among them, like Sugriva, how had they succeeded the task of 'setu bandhana', what precisely is the objective of Rama Lakshmanas and how do they decide to execute it, what type of astra shastra jnana do they arec equipped with, who is the senapati of Sugriva, and such details and report back soon enough.' As Ravana instructe thus Shuka Sharanas having assumed vanara swarupas entered the huge Vanara Sena. Then they had systematically sought to ascertain the count but failed as the vanara sena was beyond comprehension as some were on mountain tops, some in the fruit gardens, some racing up on the beaches, some being

paraded by their respective squadrons and thus got scattered. As the Rakhsasa Mantris were lost in their very first issue of Ravana's questionnnaire viz the count of Vanara Sena, Vibhishana noticed the suspicious movement of the two ministers of Ravana, caught them redhanded, subdued them and addressed Shri Rama: 'Shatru Nagara Vijaya Praati Utsuka' Shri Rama! These are Ravana's ministers named Shuka Saaranas' masquerading as Vanaras, who were despatched at Rayana's behest.' Then Shri Rama replied smilingly and addressed the Ravana Mantris: yadi dṛṣṭaṁ balaṁ kṛṭsnaṁ vayaṁ vā susamīkṣitāḥ, yathoktam vā kṛtam kāryam chandataḥ pratigamyatām/ praviśya nagarīm lankām bhayadbhyām dhanadānujah, yaktayyo raksasām rājā yathoktam yacanam mama/ yad balam ca samāśritya sītām me hrtavān asi, tad darśaya yathākāmam sasainyah sahabāndhavah/ In case you have witnessed the scene of the Maha Vanara Sena yourselves and the volume and weight of the sena, you may now return safely and intimate Ravana and his curiosity. In case if you still wish to collect further details, then you may like to more intensely too as per you own capacity. You need not feel nervous that you might get caught and get punished unnecessarily and that you might be killed. We are not be apprehensive on that count, since only 'shastra jnaana shunya' persons might do so.' 'Vibhishana! these two Rakshasas may now be let free'. Rama further advised the spies and said: 'Shuka Saraanas! As you reach back to Lanka, give my warning message to Ravana as follows: 'Ravana! As you are backed up with your Rakshasa Sena, you had forcefully kidnapped my dear wife. Now I am at your door step. Do try to display your personal might, and that of your kith and kin, your followers and your 'chaturanga balaas.' May you now taste the poisonous arrows of my self and see for your self how poisonous these are going to be by the Sun Rise next. Ravana! Do realise that like Vajraayudha Indra, I should release all my pent up anger on your followers and to you get unleashed!' Then on reaching King Ravana, the released Shuka Saaranas addessed the King! 'Rakshaseswara! We were caught by Vibhishana who in turn produced us before Rama amidst Lakshmana Sugrivas and the stalwarts of Vanara Sena. But Dharmatma Shri Rama allowed us to return back to Lanka. Dasharathanandana Shri Rama, Shriman Lakshmana, Vibhishana and Mahendragiri samana tejasvi Sugriva are like Loka palaka samana Dhiryashali, Maha Parakrami and more so 'astrashastra inaataas'. It appears that their success on the battle front appears to be assured! The Vanara Sena's full preparedness, enthusiasm appears at its peak. It appears that left to themselves they should be able to able to break down Lankapuri lock, stock and barrel. Further, Shri Rama appeared as if he himself could smash down the Lankapuri all by himself even as the three some of the maha parakramis might as well relax. Rama Lakshmanaguptaasaa Sugrivena cha vaahini, babhuva durdharshataa sarvayrapi Suraasuraih/ Prahashtha yodhaa dhvajini mahatmaanam vanaikaseenaam samapti yoddhamicchhaataam, alam virodhena shamo vidheeyataam pradeeyataam Dashrathaaya Maithileem/ Maha Raja! Shri Rama, Lakshman and Sugriva and the well prepared Vanara Sena apprears to be invincible even to the entirety of Deva and Asuras. Considering the pluck and readiness of the vanara sena, your all out effort might not end up as a futile exercise, and my humble request to you is to release Sita away.

Sarga Twenty Six

Ravana asserted not release Devi Sita any way ,but asked Sarana of Vanara yoddhaas and the latter mentioned Angada, Nala, Shweta, Kumuda, Chanda, Rambha, Sharabha, Panasa, Krodhana, Gavaya

Tad vacaḥ pathyam aklībam sāraṇenābhibhāṣitam, niśamya rāvaṇo rājā pratyabhāṣata sāraṇam/ yadi mām abhiyuñjīran devagandharvadānavāḥ,naiva sītām pradāsyāmi sarvalokabhayād api/ tvam tu saumya paritrasto haribhir nirjito bhṛśam, pratipradānam adyaiva sītāyāḥ sādhu manyase, ko hi nāma sapatno mām samare jetum arhati/ ity uktvā paruṣam vākyam rāvaṇo rākṣasādhipaḥ, āruroha tataḥ śrīmān prāsādam himapāṇḍuram, bahutālasamutsedham rāvaṇo 'tha didṛkṣayā' tābhyām carābhyām sahito rāvaṇaḥ krodhamūrchitaḥ, paśyamānaḥ samudram ca parvatāmś ca vanāni ca, dadarśa pṛthivīdeśam susampūrṇam plavamgamaiḥ/ tad apāram asamkhyeyam vānarāṇām mahad balam, ālokya rāvaṇo rājā paripapraccha sāraṇam/ eṣām vānaramukhyānām ke śūrāḥ ke mahābalāḥ, ke pūrvam abhivartante mahotsāhāḥ samantataḥ/ keṣām śṛṇoti sugrīvaḥ ke vā yūthapayūthapāḥ, sāraṇācakṣva me

sarvam ke pradhānāh plavamgamāh/ sārano rāksasendrasya vacanam pariprechatah, ācacakse 'tha mukhyajño mukhyāms tāms tu vanaukasah/ esa yo 'bhimukho lankām nardams tisthati vānarah, yūthapānām sahasrāṇām śatena parivāritah/ yasya ghoṣeṇa mahatā saprākārā satoraṇā, laṅkā pravepate sarvā saśailavanakānanā/ sarvaśākhāmrgendrasya sugrīvasya mahātmanah, balāgre tisthate vīro nīlo nāmaisa vūthapah/ bāhū pragrhya yah padbhyām mahīm gacchati vīryavān, lankām abhimukhah kopād abhīkṣṇam ca vijṛmbhate/ giriṣṛṇgapratīkāṣʿaḥ padmakiñjalkasamnibhah, sphoṭayaty abhisamrabdho lāngūlam ca punah punah/yasya lāngūlaśabdena svanantīva diśo daśa, eṣa vānararājena surgrīveṇābhiṣecitaḥ, yauvarājye 'ṅgado nāma tvām āhvayati saṁyuge/ ye tu viṣṭabhya gātrāni ksvedayanti nadanti ca, utthāya ca vijrmbhante krodhena haripumgavāh/ ete dusprasahā ghorāś candāś candaparākramāh, astau śatasahasrāni daśakotiśatāni ca/ va enam anugacchanti vīrāś candanavāsinah, esa āśamsate lankām svenānīkena marditum/ śveto rajatasamkāśah sabalo bhīmavikramah, buddhimān vānarah śūras trisu lokesu viśrutah/ tūrnam sugrīvam āgamya punar gacchati vānarah, vibhajan vānarīm senām anīkāni praharşayan/ yaḥ purā gomatītīre ramyam paryeti parvatam, nāmnā samkocano nāma nānānagayuto girih/ tatra rājyam praśāsty eṣa kumudo nāma yūthapaḥ, yo 'sau śatasahasrāṇām sahasram parikarsati/ yasya yālā bahuyyāmā dīrghalāngūlam āśritāh, tāmrāh pītāh sitāh śvetāh prakīrnā ghorakarmanah/ adīno roṣaṇaś caṇḍaḥ samgrāmam abhikānkṣati, eṣaivāśamsate lankām svenānīkena marditum/ yas tv eşa simhasamkāśaḥ kapilo dīrghakesaraḥ, nibhrtaḥ prekṣate lankām didhakṣann iva caksusā/ vindhyam krsnagirim sahyam parvatam ca sudarśanam, rājan satatam adhyāste rambho nāmaisa yūthapah/ śatam śatasahasrānām trimśac ca hariyūthapāh, pariyāryānugacchanti lankām marditum ojasā/ yas tu karņau vivrņute įrmbhate ca punah punah, na ca samvijate mrtyor na ca yūthād vidhāvati/ mahābalo vītabhayo ramyam sālveya parvatam, rājan satatam adhyāste sarabho nāma yūthapaḥ/ etasya balinaḥ sarve vihārā nāma yūthapāḥ, rājañ śatasahasrāṇi catvārimśat tathaiva ca/ yas tu megha ivākāśam mahān āvrtya tisthati, madhye vānaravīrānām surānām iva vāsavah/ bherīnām iva samnādo yasyaisa śrūyate mahān, ghorah śākhāmṛgendrānām samgrāmam abhikānksatām/ esa parvatam adhyāste pāriyātram anuttamam, yuddhe dusprasaho nityam panaso nāma yūthapah/ enam śatasahasrā nām śatārdham paryupāsate, yūthapā yūthapaśrestham yesām yūthāni bhāgaśah/ yas tu bhīmām pravalgantīm camūm tisthati sobhayan, sthitām tīre samudrasya dvitīya iva sāgaraḥ/ eṣa dardara samkāšo vinato nāma vūthapah, pibamš carati parnāšām nadīnām uttamām nadīm/ sastih šatasahasrāni balam asya playamgamāh, tyām āhyayati yuddhāya krathano nāma yūthapah/ yas tu gairikayarnābham vapuḥ puṣyati vānaraḥ, gavayo nāma tejasvī tvām krodhād abhivartate/ enam śatasahasrāṇi saptatiḥ paryupāsate, esa āśamsate lankām svenānīkena marditum/ ete dusprasahā ghorā balinah kāmarūpinah, yūthapā yūthapaśresthā yesām samkhyā na vidyate/

As Saarana and Shukhas reported the proceedings of their visit on the shores of the Maha Sagara, Ravanaasura was incensed with the reportage and affiirmed: yadi mām abhiyuñjīran devagandharvadānavāḥ,naiva sītām pradāsyāmi sarvalokabhayād api/ tvam tu saumya paritrasto haribhir nirjito bhṛśam, pratipradānam adyaiva sītāyāḥ sādhu manyase, ko hi nāma sapatno mām samare jetum arhati/

'Ravana then addressed the spies back to him with a parting advice that all their offensive efforts might be counter productive and hence the release of Sita might be considered, Ravana stood his ground with firmness and declared that even if Deva-Gandhrava- Danavaas too were to attack me and you seem to be frightening me of 'nara vaanaraas'; who could in trilokas could challenge me.' Having declared thus, Ravana having cooled down somewhat then asked Mantri Sarana: 'Who are the Vaanara Pramukhas any way! Who are the so called 'Vanara Mukhyas' jubilant to attack! Whose advices that normally King of Vanaras Sugriva would normally heed to. Sarana, tell me in detail who are the front line Vanaras.' Then Saarana replied; Maha Raja! Besides, Sugriva, I esteem Maha Vanara Vaali PutraYuva Raja Angada is comparable only with Vaali's grandeur and intrepidity. Angada is Sugriva's beloved and he always reciprocates his inner feelings of Sugriva's sympathy like Indra and Varuna. As you are aware that Hanuman a peerless Rama bhakta, as also the Prime Minister of Sugriva, too has admiration for Angada Kumara with his youthful ebullience and driving energy. Behind Yuva Raja Angada is Nala the maha setu nirmana karta. Andgada who keeps on ever jumping and screaming 'simhanaadaas' even being seated, as

is not only over enthusiatic but contrios some ten arab and ten lakhas of his own contingent of Maha Vanaras! The silver coloured, ever restless Vanata named Sweta the bhayankara parakrami, buddhhi maan, Shura Veera, Traiiokhya Vikhyaata, who keeps on often coming and going King Sugriva, ever carrying the messages and instructions of Sugriva, and keeps vigil, and provides enthusiasm, gusto and zeal to the unit heads. Then there is Kumudanayak Yudhapati the garden chief of fruit- roots on 'Gomati Nadi Teera chaturvidha /parvata shreni' and with huge following of milloins of Vaanara Veeras under his single control. Then there is <u>Vanaraagresara Chanda</u> who with his giagantic physique with everflying hairs of red-vellovish-white colours keeps the Vaanara Sena of lakhs under his personal care and control with their duty of alerting and ready to move forward always coordinating other vanara squadrons and battalions too. Rayana Raja! Then there is another Yudha Pati named Rambha Nayaka who possesses the Simha Parakrami who spreads his ears waverly, who is like Mrityunjaya Himself with megha garjanas ever jumping forward and is capable of tearing the enemy groups berserk like a wild flames along with equally ferocious groups spreading agni jwaalas around them against the enemy rakshasaas looking helpless except to surrender or die. Yudhapati Sharabha the picturesque Salvaka Parvata nivasi vaanara veeraas who are desperate in killing the enemy Rakshasaas as the latter used to often disturb them from their tranquility and were never spared from running back with their speed and tactics to disappear but wer never spared to return. Their 'sangjna' or identification is 'Vihara' and their following is a lakh and forty thousand. Then Maharaja! Then there is Panasa Nayaka Yodhapati with a following of fifty lakhs of following like 'Bhairavas'.

[Vishleshana on Ashta Bhairavas:

Eight Manifestations of Maha Bhirava are Kaala Bhairava, Asitaanga Bhairava, Rudra Bhairava, Krodha Bhairava, Kapala Bhairava, Bhishana Bhairava, Unmatta Bhairava and Samhara Bhairava. In the context of Andhakaasura Samhara, Maha Deva then decided Devas and Ganas to withdraw excepting his Nandi Vahana. He assumed a mammoth Bhairava Swarupa with the extraordinary radiance and heat of crores of Suryas, wearing Tiger Skin, Sarpa-haraas, Ten Hands and Three Burning Eyes and pierced his Trishula right into the Asura's heart and hit his head with his mace and tossed his body up high in the air that got dropped on Earth with a thud. From all the sides of his huge body, there were streams of blood as Ashta Bhairavas were surfaced: from the Eastern direction emerged a Bhairava akin to Agni called 'Vidya Raaj' with his neck adorned with lotus flowers; from the Southern direction appeared 'Kala Raaj' Bhairava looking like a 'Preta' with dense black colour; from the Western direction was materialised a Bhirava named 'Kamaraj'; from the Northern direction was caused a fourth Bhairava named 'Soma Raaj'; a fifth Bhairava emerged from the wound near the demon's heart where Maha Deva pierced his Trishula and his name was 'Swacchanda Raja'with the resemblance of Indra Dhanush (Rainbow); the Sixth Bhairava was 'Lalit Raaj' who appeared from the gush of the Asura's blood on Earth; the Seventh Bhairava was 'Vighna Raaj' and including Maha Bhairava there were thus Ashta Bhairavas. (Source: Vamana Purana)]

Further Stanzas follow:

Then there is <u>Krodhana</u> namedMaha Vanara ever jumping forward as though the Durdara Parvata swarupa is jumping forward and further on the shores, is the prasiddhaa yudhapati with sixty lakhs of maha sainika vaanaras. yas tu gairikavarnābham vapuḥ puṣyati vānaraḥ, gavayo nāma tejasvī tvām krodhād abhivartate/ enam śatasahasrāṇi saptatiḥ paryupāsate, eṣa āśamsate laṅkām svenānīkena marditum/ ete duṣprasahā ghorā balinaḥ kāmarūpiṇaḥ, yūthapā yūthapaśreṣṭhā yeṣām samkhyā na vidyate/ Tejasvi Vanara <u>Gavaya</u> is yet another self confident, even arrogant 'Goura varna' dhairya shali Maha Vanarara Yoddha commanded by seventy lakh like minded Maha Vaanara warriors being extremely anxious to look forward to bathe into the sands of Lankapuri and drown the Rakshasas in their own demoniac home land for a change instead of their constant attacks on Vanara nivaasaas frequently and unexpectedly. These are merely a very few select Vaanara Yoddhaas, Maha Raja, who are bein

named as per my count and knowledge in the very quick reckoning, but these heros are whom we had witnessed, but surely the number of such Maha Vanara Yoddhas as had dispersed in fruit gardens or on the 'parvata shreni' relaxing getting readied for the announcement of the battle. Indeed these are but only illustrative of Vanara Yoddhas and is certainly not possible to count from other Yuthapati Groups.

Sarga Twenty Seven

<u>Saarana further added to the list of Vanara Pramukhas like Jambavan- Samnadana- Kratana- Pramaathi- Gavaksha- Kesari-Shatabali and so on ,right now at the door steps of Lankapuri</u>

Tāms tu te 'ham pravaksyāmi preksamānasya yūthapān, rāghavārthe parākrāntā ye na raksanti jīvitam/ snigdhā yasya bahuśyāmā bālā lāngūlam āśritāḥ, tāmrāḥ pītāḥ sitāḥ śvetāḥ prakīrṇā ghorakarmaṇaḥ/ pragrhītāh prakāśante sūryasyeva marīcayah, prthivyām cānukrsyante haro nāmaisa yūthapah/ yam prsthato 'nugacchanti śataśo 'tha sahasraśah drumān udyamya sahitā lankārohaṇatatparāh/ eṣa kotīsahasrena vānarānām mahaujasām, ākānksate tvām samgrāme jetum parapuramjaya/ nīlān iva mahāmeghāms tisthato yāms tu paśyasi, asitāñ janasamkāśān yuddhe satyaparākramān/ nakhadamṣṭrā yudhān vīrāms tīkṣṇakopān bhayāvahān, asamkhyeyān anirdeśyān param pāram ivodadheḥ/ parvateṣu ca ve ke cid visamesu nadīsu ca, ete tvām abhivartante rājann rskāh sudārunāh/ esām madhye sthito rājan bhīmākso bhīmadarśanah, parjanya iva jīmūtaih samantāt parivāritah/ rksavantam giriśrestham adhyāste narmadām piban, sarvarkṣāṇām adhipatir dhūmro nāmaiṣa yūthapaḥ/ yavīyān asya tu bhrātā paśyainam parvatopamam, bhrātrā samāno rūpeņa viśistas tu parākrame/ sa eṣa jāmbavān nāma mahāyūtha payūthapaḥ, praśānto guruvartī ca samprahāreṣv amarṣaṇaḥ/ etena sāhyam sumahat kṛtam śakrasya dhīmatā, devāsure jāmbavatā labdhāś ca bahavo varāh/ āruhya parvatāgrebhyo mahābhravipulāh śilāh, muñcanti vipulākārā na mṛtyor udvijanti ca/ rāksasānām ca sadṛśāh piśācānām ca romaśāh, etasya sainye bahayo yicaranty agnitejasah/ yam ty enam abhisamrabdham playamānam iya sthitam, preksante vānarāh sarve sthitam vūthapayūthapam/ esa rājan sahasrāksam parvupāste harīśvarah, balena balasampanno rambho nāmaiṣa yūthapah/ yaḥ sthitam yojane śailam gacchan pārśvena sevate, ūrdhvam tathaiva kāyena gatah prāpnoti vojanam/ vasmān na paramam rūpam catuspādesu vidyate, śrutah samnādano nāma vānarānām pitāmahah/ yena yuddham tadā dattam rane sakrasya dhīmatā, parājayas ca na prāptaḥ so 'yam yūthapayūthapaḥ, yasya vikramamāṇasya śakrasyeva parākramaḥ/ eṣa gandharvakanyāyām utpannah krsnavartmanā, purā devāsure yuddhe sāhyārtham tridivaukasām/ yasya vaiśravano rājā jambūm upanisevate, vo rājā parvatendrānām bahukimnarasevinām/ vihārasukhado nityam bhrātus te rāksasādhipa, tatraisa vasati śrīmān balavān vānararsabhah, vuddhesv akatthano nityam krathano nāma yūthapah/ vṛtah kotisahasrena harīnām samupasthitah, esaivāśamsate lankām svenānīkena marditum/ yo gaṅgām anu paryeti trāsayan hastiyūthapān, hastinām vānarāṇām ca pūrvavairam anusmaran/ eṣa yūthapatir netā gacchan giriguhāśayaḥ, harīṇām vāhinī mukhyo nadīm ----haimavatīm anu/ uśīra bījam āśritya parvatam mandaropamam, ramate vānaraśreṣṭho divi śakra iva svayam/ enam śatasahasrānām sahasram abhiyartate, esa durmarsano rājan pramāthī nāma yūthapah/ vātenevoddhatam megham vam enam anupasvasi, vivartamānam bahuso vatraitad bahulam rajah/ ete 'sitamukhā ghorā golāṅgūlā mahābalāḥ, śataṁ śatasahasrāṇi dṛṣṭvā vai setubandhanam/ golāṅgūlaṁ mahāvegam gavāksam nāma yūthapam, parivāryābhivartante lankām marditum ojasā/bhramarācaritā vatra sarvakāmaphaladrumāh, yam sūrvatulyavarnābham anuparyeti parvatam/ yasya bhāsā sadā bhānti tadvarnā mṛgapaksinah, yasya prastham mahātmāno na tyajanti maharsayah/ tatraisa ramate rājan ramye kāñcanaparvate, mukhyo vānaramukhyānām kesarī nāma yūthapaḥ/ ṣaṣṭir girisahasrāṇām ramyāḥ kāñcanaparvatāḥ, teṣām madhye girivaras tvam ivānagha rakṣasām/ tatraite kapilāḥ śvetās tāmrāsyā madhupingalāh, nivasanty uttamagirau tīkṣṇadamṣṭrānakhāyudhāh/ simha iva caturdamṣṭrā vyāghrā iva durāsadāḥ, sarve vaiśvanarasamā įvalitāśīviṣopamāḥ/ sudīrghāñcitalāṅgūlā mattamātaṁgasaṁnibhāḥ, mahāparvatasamkāśā mahājīmūtanisvanāh/ esa caisām adhipatir madhye tisthati vīryavān, nāmnā pṛthivyām vikhyāto rājañ śatabalīti yah, esaivāśamsate lankām svenānīkena marditum/ gajo gavākso gavayo nalo nīlaś ca vānaraḥ, ekaika eva yūthānām koṭibhir daśabhir vṛtaḥ/ tathānye vānaraśreṣṭhā vindhyaparvatavāsinah, na śakyante bahutvāt tu saṃkhyātum laghuvikramāh/ sarve mahārāja

mahāprabhāvāḥ; sarve mahāśailanikāśakāyāḥ, sarve samarthāḥ pṛthivīm kṣaṇena; kartum pravidhvastavikīrnaśailām/

Saarana further described as Ravana seemed interested further details. He said: Rakshasa Raja! as you are interested details of the Vanara Yoddhhas I am giving other significant details. Besides the Vanara Yoddhhas, the Maha Reeksha Maha Kaayas like Reeksha Raja Dhumra who is of mountainous physique, at once frightful and the resident 'parvata shikharas. Then his younger brother the legendary Jambavan whose 'svabhaava' is no doubt cool and dignified yet is a Maha Parakrami. He is ever a follower of the directives and 'seva' of 'Guru Jana' yet on battle fronts his truly invincible. In the battle waged by Indra and Devas against Asuras, his valour and courage was amazing as his very grip with piercing nails was able to smash down numberless Asuras. His fellow followers with their black bushes like giant size bodies had always created havoc in the course of the battle. Once provoked the Riksha Maha Senna under Jambavan's leadership was worse than that of Pishachas and Rakshasaas. They are of the thick black cloud physical statures and have least bother for 'mrityu' at any time.

[Vishleshana on Jambavaan as realled from the Text of the Essence of Valmiki Kishkindha Ramayana:

'Yuva Raja Angada then asked the Maha Vaanara Veeras by turn and named them as Gaja-Gavaaksha-Gavaya-Sharabha-Gandhamaadana- Mainda- Dvivida - Sushena-and Jambavan, about their respectice abilities to cross the Maha Sagara. The replies were as follows: Maha Vanara Gaja said that he could jump off by ten yojanas- Gavaksha could cover twenty yojanas-Sharabha confirmed thirty yojanas-Rishabha assured forty yojanas-Gandhamaadana would cover fifty yojanas comfortably- Mainda quoted sixty with enthusiasm- Dvipada by seventy yojanas- and Sushena the dare devil upto eighty yojanas. Then Jambavan stated that in his youthful days and years he no doubt could have crossed the distance from here to the other shore, but now his present ability would now be restricted to some ninety vojanas but might not be more. Jambavan further confirmed: tāmś ca sarvān hariśresthāñ jāmbavān punar abravīt, na khalv etāvad evāsīd gamane me parākramaļ/ mayā mahābalais caiva yajñe viṣṇuḥ sanātanaḥ, pradakṣiṇīkṛtaḥ pūrvam kramamānas trivikramah/ In the years of yore when Bhagavan Vishnu assumed the incarnation of Vamana Deva, as Danaya Bali Chakrayarti bestowed mere three feet of land to Vamana, then the latter measured mere two feet as earth and urthva lokas and for the third foot was of the nether lokas with Bali down under too. That was the time, Jambavaan recalled he was able to perform full parikrama to the Virat swarupa! ---aham etad gamişyāmi yojanānām śatam mahat, nivartane tu me śaktiḥ syān na veti na niścitam/ Then buddhhimaan Angada while addressing Jambavan with great respect for his age, valour and enormous 'panditya' said: 'I should no doubt be able to cover hundred yojanas of the Maha Sagara from here to Lanka dwipa, but do not have the confidence of possible return!']

Stanza 15 continued: Maha Veera Jambavan the King of Bears such as Black bears-grizzly bears-panda bears-sloth bears-Sun bears-polar bears, which are symbolic of strengh, stability and supportive ever has as yudhapati called Dambha who despatches his army and is a 'maha upaasaka' of Indra Deva: Maha Raja Lankeshwara! So much about Jambavan and his sena. Now you malso please note another Vanara Veera Samnaadana popularly known as the Vaanara Pitaamaha who had ever been called by Indra Deva to assist him in Deva- Danava-Asura Yuddhas for assistance to Devas. Then Saarana descibed about Krathana the Vaanara Yuthapati who often was appoached for assistance; this Vararottama was born of Agni Deva's samyoga with a Gandharva Kanya and thus called as Agni Putra. Rakshasraja! Maha Vaanara Krathana is ever worshipped by Kinnaras, Maha Parvara Rajas and a friend of Kubera your cousin brother, as Kubera on his own garden reserves a place under a jambu tree. Maha Krathana never boasts of his bravery in battles yet he is stated to lead arabs of vanara veeras around him and is awaiting the great opportunity of demolish Lankapuri. Then there is a Pramaathi namaka Maha Vanara Yodhapati who is worthy of special mention. He has a following of ten crores of Maha Vanaras. Recalling the remote past rivalry of Maha Kesari the father of Veera Hanuman between Maha Vanaras and Gajendraas, Pramathi with his followers of ten crores and stationed himself atop Mandarachala and Usheerabeeja

Parvata where even Indra Deva's Airavata Elephant would not dare enter, let alone common elephants into the surrounding fruit and flower gardens nearby. Then the Vanara Sena headed by Gavaksha are of the classification of 'Golaangula' or popularly naned 'langoors' with black faces and long tails who were famed as having assisted in the construction of 'setu bandhana'. They too are over enthusiatic to devastate Lanka puri. Then the name of Kesari is known worldwide as the father of Maha Veera Hanuman whose escapades are fresh in the memory of Lankapuri citizens. Kesari along with his maha vaanara sena is ever joyful in the fruit gardens of Meru Parvata which are ever green in the six seasons all through the years. Then there is Shatabali Senapati a 'Suryopasaka' who too is anxiously waiting for Shri Rama karuna and fulfill 'Lanka Vinashana' forthwith. gajo gavākso gavayo nalo nīlas ca vānarah, ekaika eva yūthānām kotibhir daśabhir yrtah/ tathānye vānaraśresthā vindhyaparvatavāsinah, na śakyante bahutvāt tu samkhyātum laghuvikramāh/ sarve mahārāja mahāprabhāvāh; sarve mahāśailanikāśakāyāh, sarve samarthāh pṛthivīm ksanena; kartum pravidhvastavikīrnaśailām/ Maha Raja! Gaja-Gavaksha-Gavaya-Nala-Neela Senapatis with ten crores each of their Vaanaara Maha Senas are right now surrounded the Lankapuri about to attack; further the Maha Samudra Samana Vindyachala Vaanara Sena is truly countless. In short, the totality of the attacking Sena is replete with 'parvata samaana shaktiyaan' is right at your door step.

Sarga Twenty Eight

As Saarana reported his findings to Ravana, Shuka detailed about Sugriva's Ministers, Mainda-Dvividas, Hanuman, Rama Lakshmanas, Sugriva Vibhishanas, and further details of the number of Vanara Sena

Sāranasya vacah śrutvā rāvanam rāksasādhipam, balam ālokayan sarvam śuko vākyam athābravīt/ sthitān paśyasi yān etān mattān iva mahādvipān, nyagrodhān iva gāngeyān sālān haimavatīn iva/ ete dusprasahā rājan balinah kāmarūpinah, daityadānavasamkāśā yuddhe devaparākramāh/ esām kotisahasrāni nava pañcaca sapta ca, tathā śaṅkhasahasrāni tathā vṛndaśatāni ca/ ete sugrīvasacivāh kişkindhānilayāh sadā, harayo devagandharvair utpannāh kāmarūpiņah/ yau tau paśyasi tisthantau kumārau devarūpinau, maindaś ca dvividaś cobhau tābhyām nāsti samo vudhi/ brahmanā samanujñātāv amṛtaprāśināv ubhau, āśamsete yudhā lankām etau marditum ojasā/ yāv etāv etayoḥ pārśve sthitau parvatasamnibhau, sumukho vimukhaś caiva mṛtyuputrau pituḥ samau/ yam tu paśyasi tiṣṭhantam prabhinnam iya kuñjaram, yo balāt ksobhayet kruddhah samudram api yānarah/ eso 'bhigantā laṅkāyā vaidehyās tava ca prabho, enam paśya purā drstam vānaram punar āgatam/ jyesthah kesarinah putro vātātmaja iti śrutah, hanūmān iti vikhyāto langhito yena sāgarah/ kāmarūpī hariśrestho balarūpa samanvitah, anivāryagatiś caiva yathā satatagah prabhuh/ udyantam bhāskaram dṛstvā bālah kila pipāsitah, triyojanasahasram tu adhvānam avatīrya hi/ādityam āharisyāmi na me kṣut pratiyāsyati, iti samcintya manasā puraiṣa baladarpitah/ anādhrsyatamam devam api devarsidānavaiḥ, anāsādyaiva patito bhāskarodayane girau/ patitasya kaper asya hanur ekā śilātale, kim cid bhinnā dṛḍhahanor hanūmān esa tena vai/satyam āgamayogena mamaisa vidito harih, nāsya śakyam balam rūpam prabhāvo vānubhāsitum/ esa āśaṃsate lankām eko marditum ojasā, vaś caiso 'nantarah śūrah śvāmah padmanibhekṣaṇaḥ/ikṣvākūṇām atiratho loke vikhyāta pauruṣaḥ, yasmin na calate dharmo yo dharmam nātivartate/ yo brāhmam astram vedāms ca veda vedavidām varah, yo bhindyād gaganam bānaih parvatāms cāpi dārayet/ yasya mṛtyor iva krodhah sakrasyeva parākramah, sa esa rāmas tvām yoddhum rājan samabhivartate/ yaś caisa daksine pārśve śuddhajāmbūnadaprabhah, viśālavaksās tāmrākso nīlakuñcitamūrdhajaḥ/ eṣo 'sya lakṣmaṇo nāma bhrātā prāṇasamaḥ priyaḥ, naye yuddhe ca kuśalaḥ sarvaśāstraviśāradaļ/ amarṣī durjayo jetā vikrānto buddhimān balī, rāmasya dakṣiṇo bāhur nityam prāṇo bahiścarah/ na hy eṣa rāghavasyārthe jīvitam parirakṣati, eṣaivāśamsate yuddhe nihantum sarvarākṣasān/ yas tu savyam asau pakṣam rāmasyāśritya tiṣṭhati, rakṣogaṇaparikṣipto rājā hy eṣa vibhīsanah/ śrīmatā rājarājena lankāyām abhisecitah, tvām eva pratisamrabdho yuddhāyaiso 'bhivartate/ yam tu paśyasi tisthantam madhye girim ivācalam, sarvaśākhāmṛgendrānām bhartāram aparājitam/ tejasā yaśasā buddhyā jñānenābhijanena ca, yaḥ kapīn ati babhrāja himavān iva parvatān/ kiskindhām vah samadhvāste guhām sagahanadrumām, durgām parvatadurgasthām pradhānaih saha

yūthapaiḥ/yasyaiṣā kāñcanī mālā śobhate śatapuṣkarā, kāntā devamanuṣyāṇām yasyām lakṣmīḥ pratiṣṭhitā/ etām ca mālām tārām ca kapirājyam ca śāśvatam, sugrīvo vālinam hatvā rāmeṇa pratipāditaḥ/ evam koṭisahasreṇa śaṅkūnām ca śatena ca, sugrīvo vānarendras tvām yuddhārtham abhivartate/ imām mahārājasamīkṣya vāhinīm; upasthitām prajvalitagrahopamām, tataḥ prayatnaḥ paramo vidhīyatām; yathā jayaḥ syān na paraiḥ parājayaḥ/

Shuka took the cue of Sharana and initiated the reflexes of Vanara Ministers, Mainda-Dvividas, Hanuman-Rama Laksmanas and of Sugrivas. He initiated: Rakshas Raja!the count of the MahaVaanara Sena is approximated at 21 koti sahasras, sahasra 'shanku' and hundred 'brindas'; these are all kishkindha vaasis. Their origin invariably includes the Deva-Gandharvas and possess the power of various forms as they would please. Rajan! Among these Maha Vanaras Yoddhhas whom I could spot straightly are Mainda and Dvivida as of 'Devata Samana' whom Brahma Himself blessed for 'amrita paana' and are very eager to uproot Lankapuri. Then Maha Bali Veera Hanuman standing like an enraged elephant who crossed the Maha Sagara by one leap and succeded in Sita darshaana creating havoc in Lankapuri by the flames of his tail. udvantam bhāskaram drstvā bālah kila pipāsitah, trivojanasahasram tu adhvānam avatīrya hi/ādityam āhariṣyāmi na me kṣut pratiyāsyati, iti samcintya manasā puraiṣa baladarpitaḥ/ anādhṛṣyatamam devam api devarṣidānavaiḥ, anāsādyaiva patito bhāskarodayane girau/Once in the past when the Anjanaputra Anjaneya as a 'baalak' felt hungry and mistook Surya Deva as a ripe fruit on the sky and jumped up higher and higher on the udaya giri, but having unable to jump up to Surya rolled down the mountain and hurt his 'hanu'that is chin or jaw and hence called 'Hanuman'the popular name of Anjaneya the Anjana putra. satyam āgamayogena mamaişa vidito harih, nāsya śakyam balam rūpam prabhāvo vānubhāṣitum/ eṣa āśaṁsate laṅkām eko marditum ojasā, yaś caiṣo 'nantaraḥ śūraḥ śyāmaḥ padmanibheksanah/ King Ravana! I had learnt from trustworthy sources, I hah gathered the background of Hanuman; his 'bala-rupa-prabhavaas' appear to be unique. He alone desired to bring down Lanka Saamrajya; how indeed could we forget the recent escapade of his as his tail in flames had successfully burnt off the best part of Lankapuri! Backing Hanuman is the lotus eyed 'shura veera' of 'Ikshvakaku Vamsha shiromani'atirathi the 'loka prakhyaata'. yasmin na calate dharmo yo dharmam nātivartate/ yo brāhmam astram vedāms ca veda vedavidām varah, yo bhindyād gaganam bānaih parvatāms cāpi dārayet/ yasya mṛtyor iva krodhaḥ śakrasyeva parākramaḥ, sa eṣa rāmas tvām yoddhum rājan samabhivartate/ He and Dharma appear indivisible as he never crosses the frontiers of virtue and justice. He is equipped with brahmastra and veda jnaana too. His anger is like mrityu and parakrama is like of Indra. With his arrows as released with his might could hit and pierce through the high skies. Ravana Raja! as you had forcibly kidnamed his dear wife, now is at Lanka Dwaara. Now: yaś caisa daksine pārśve śuddhajāmbūnadaprabhah, viśālavaksās tāmrākso nīlakuñcitamūrdhajah/ eso 'sya laksmano nāma bhrātā prāṇasamaḥ priyaḥ, naye yuddhe ca kuśalaḥ sarvaśāstraviśāradaḥ/ amarṣī durjayo jetā vikrānto buddhimān balī, rāmasya dakṣino bāhur nityam prāno bahiścarah/ Lankeshwara! To Rama's right side, is Lakshmana; his body shine is of molten gold colour, with broad and robust chest with somewhat looks of redness with his long head hairs are twisted round as s nest, on his head. Like a shadow of Rama, he is never seperated from him. He too is an expert advisor to Rama, and is repleted with 'shastra jnana' and 'raja neeti' as per the interpretation as per 'desha-kaala-paristhitis'. This 'amarsha sheela-durjaya-parakrami' ever ready to destroy the enemy and guarding Rama ever standing to his right and is the alternate energy of Rama. To his left is Vibhishana with his rakshasa ministers behind. Shri Rama had already coronated him as the Lankesha having duly celebrated his 'rajyaabhishaka'! He is right now in disgust, hatred for Ravana, and desperate for the upcoming battle. Then one could locate Sugriva the maha tejasvi the King of Maha Vaanara Sena heading the Sena with his mighty mace on his broad shoulders. Bhagavan Shri Rama having successfully killed Maha Bali Vaali had since handed over Devi Taara and Vanara Rajya to him. imām mahārājasamīksya vāhinīm; upasthitām prajvalitagrahopamām, tatah prayatnah paramo vidhīyatām; yathā jayah syān na paraih parājayah/ Maha Raja, this Maha Sena ready to attack you and the Lanka Samrajya is ever ready with unprecedented speed, daring, desperation af if it is threatining the very existence and the traditional grandeur and magnificence, quite apart form your own individual accomplishments!

Sarga Twenty Nine

As Shuka Saaranas reported yet with implicit praises of enemies, Ravana burst out, stripped them of ministership, asked his spies to see enemy's status but Vibhishana noticed Shardula as Rama pardoned.

śukena tu samākhyātāms tān dṛṣṭvā hariyūthapān,samīpastham ca rāmasya bhrātaram svam vibhīṣaṇam/ lakşmanam ca mahāvīryam bhujam rāmasya dakṣiṇam,sarvavānararājam ca sugrīvam bhīmavikramam/ kim cid āvignahrdayo jātakrodhaś ca rāvanah, bhartsayām āsa tau vīrau kathānte śukasāranau/ adhomukhau tau pranatāv abravīc chukasāranau, rosagadgadayā vācā samrabdhah parusam vacah/na tāvat sadrsam nāma sacivair upajīvibhih, vipriyam nrpater vaktum nigrahapragrahe vibhoh/ ripūnām pratikūlānām yuddhārtham abhivartatām, ubhābhyām sadrsam nāma vaktum aprastave stavam/ ācāryā guravo vrddhā vṛthā vām parvupāsitāh, sāram vad rājaśāstrānām anujīvvam na gṛhyate/ gṛhīto vā na vijñāto bhāro jñānasya vochyate, īdṛśaiḥ sacivair yukto mūrkhair diṣṭyā dharāmy aham/ kiṁ nu mṛṭyor bhayam nāsti mām vaktum paruṣam vacaḥ, yasya me śāsato jihvā prayacchati śubhāśubham/ apy eva dahanam sprstvā vane tisthanti pādapāh, rājadosaparāmrstās tisthante nāparādhinah/ hanvām aham imau pāpau śatrupakṣapraśamsakau, yadi pūrvopakārair me na krodho mṛdutām vrajet/ apadhvamsata gacchadhvam samnikarṣād ito mama, na hi vām hantum icchāmi smarann upakṛtāni vām, hatāv eva krtaghnau tau mayi snehaparānmukhau/ eyam uktau tu sayrīdau tāy ubhau sukasāranau, rāyanam jayaśabdena pratinandyābhinihsrtau/ abravīt sa daśagrīvah samīpastham mahodaram, upasthāpaya śīghram me cārān nītiviśāradān/ tataś carāḥ samtvaritāh prāptāḥ pārthivaśāsanāt, upasthitāḥ prāñjalayo vardhayitvā jayāśiṣā/ tān abravīt tato vākyam rāvaņo rākṣasādhipaḥ, cārān pratyayikāñ śūrān bhaktān vigatasādhvasān/ ito gacchata rāmasya vyavasāyam parīkṣatha, mantresv abhyantarā ye 'sya prītyā tena samāgatāh/ katham svapiti jāgarti kim anyac ca karisyati, vijñāya nipunam sarvam āgantavyam aśesatah/ cārena viditah śatruh panditair vasudhādhipaih, yuddhe svalpena yatnena samāsādya nirasyate/ cārās tu te tathety uktvā prahrstā rāksaseśvaram, shardulamagratah kṛtvā pradaksinam jagmur yatra rāmah salaksmanah/ te suvelasya śailasya samīpe rāmalaksmanau, pracchannā dadršur gatvā sasugrīvavibhīşaṇau/ te tu dharmātmanā dṛṣṭā rākṣasendreṇa rākṣasāḥ, vibhīṣaṇena tatrasthā nigṛhītā vadrcchavā/ vānarair arditās te tu vikrāntair laghuvikramaih, punar lankām anuprāptāh svasanto nastacetasah/ tato daśagrīvam upasthitās te; cārā bahirnityacarā niśācarāh, gireh suvelasya samīpavāsinam; nyavedayan bhīmabalam mahābalāh/

As his Ministers Shuka Saaranas had thus described the readiness of Shri Rama, Lakshmana on his right, Vibhishana to left, Sugriva backed by Maha Vaanara Sena, Angada the son of Indraputra Vaali, bala vikrama shali Hanuman, durjaya Jambavan, and Maha Vaanaras Sushena, Kumuda, Neela, Vaanara shreshethas Nala, Gaja, Gavaksha, Sharabha, Mainda-Dwivadaas Then King Ravana stood up with anger yet with anxiety. Shuka Saaranas stood up erect while trembling with fear of death. Ravana then addressed them as follows in suppressed anger in a rather hoarse and husky tone: Nishachara Mantris! A King could display his 'anugraha and aagraha' or kindness and cruelty alike. You the Ministers should not trangress your limitations and reveal your meanness. As your very existence is subjected to the very mindset of the king and present the factuality of a situation be presented suitably tailored. Further the interpretation of the facts is certainly tuned up to whom you are presenting to. ripūnām pratikūlānām yuddhārtham abhivartatām, ubhābhyām sadršam nāma vaktum aprastave stavam/ ācāryā guravo vrddhā vṛthā vām paryupāsitāh, sāram yad rājaśāstrānām anujīvyam na gṛhyate/ gṛhīto vā na vijñāto bhāro jñānasya vochyate, īdṛśaiḥ sacivair yukto mūrkhair diṣṭyā dharāmy aham/Tell me Shuka Saaranas, as the shatru sena is confronting already, then to resort to praising them individually named and reporting to your own king is justified! It is clear that you had never digested what all your aachayas, gurus and elders had taught and trained and that was like flavored scents poured into heaps of bunrnt off ash! Indeed 'raja naati and rana neeti' got coggged down as mere futilities. Or you might have suddenly got erased off from your memory screen. With such impolite and disinformed Mantri Mandali, it appears that I have so far managing the Raja kartavyas all by myself despite being surrounded by incompetent and good for nothing

' Mantri Mandali'! kim nu mrtyor bhayam nāsti mām vaktum parusam vacah, yasya me śāsato jihvā prayacchati śubhāśubham/ apy eva dahanam sprstvā vane tisthanti pādapāh, rājadosaparāmrstās tisthante nāparādhinah/ Then Ravana assered: 'I am the sole and undisputable King of the Lanka Rajya and the very twist or turn of my tongue becomes the law of the land. But still realising the same very well, how dare you praise the 'shatru sena' right before me! Are you venturing to do so, without fearing my 'praana danadana'!It is possible that in a forest, 'maha vrishaas' are not easily scared of engulfing flames, but a supreme authority's 'avahelana' is never tolerated, specially eulogising the enemy! I am shatterd to such an extent that I could kill you atonce. apadhvamsata gacchadhvam samnikarṣād ito mama, na hi vām hantum icchāmi smarann upakrtāni vām, hatāv eva krtaghnau tau mayi snehaparānmukhau/ Yet, am sparing you with life yet with an instruction to banish from this 'sabha' never showing faces to me again.' Having shouted and howled at Shuka Sharanas, Ravana paused for a while and then intructed Mahodara who was nearby to let in professionally trained 'guptacharas' and instructed them to keep reporting to him directly about the following: ito gacchata rāmasya vyavasāyam parīkṣatha, mantreṣv abhyantarā ye 'sya prītyā tena samāgatāh/ katham svapiti jāgarti kim anyac ca karisvati, vijñāya nipunam sarvam āgantavvam asesatah/ cārena viditah satruh panditair vasudhādhipaih, yuddhe svalpena yatnena samāsādya nirasyate/ You must intimate the movement of the Vavnara Sena as per Rama's instructions, about his close associates, including his latest friends, how are they sleeping, or awaken and whar precisely are they doing etc. and return forthwith. As I become aware of these details then an intelligent king could even suppress them with surprising attacks.' Then the 'guptacharas' witnessed 'Lakshmana sahita Rama' as Vibhishana spotted them at once. Then one the spies named Shardula was caught red handed and the Vanara soldiers started pounding him along the the co spies too, but due to the kindness of Shri Rama were spared and with great fear and scare of death fled to run back to Lanka to Rayana.

Sarga Thirty

Then Shardula the spy ran back, Ravana desired as to the origin of Pramukha Vanaras like Jambavan, Sushena, Kesari, Sushena, Dadhimukhi, Sumukha-Sveta-Mainda brothers, Nala-Vegashali and so on.

Tatas tam akşobhya balam lankādhipataye carāh, suvele rāghavam śaile nivistam pratyavedayan/ cārāṇām rāvaṇaḥ śrutvā prāptam rāmam mahābalam, jātodvego 'bhavat kim cic chārdūlam vākyam bravīt/ ayathāvac ca te varno dīnaś cāsi niśācara, nāsi kaccid amitrānām kruddhānām vaśam āgatah/ iti tenānusistas tu vācam mandam udīrayat, tadā rāksasasārdūlam sārdūlo bhayavihvalah/ na te cārayitum śakyā rājan vānarapumgavāh, vikrāntā balavantaś ca rāghavena ca raksitāh/nāpi sambhāsitum śakyāh sampraśno 'tra na labhyate, sarvato raksyate panthā vānaraih parvatopamaih/ pravistamātre jñāto 'ham bale tasminn acārite, balād grhīto bahubhir bahudhāsmi vidāritah jānubhir mustibhir dantais talais cābhihato bhṛśam, pariṇīto 'smi haribhir balavadbhir amarṣaṇaih/ pariṇīya ca sarvatra nīto 'ham rāmasamsadam,rudhirādigdhasarvāngo vihvalas calitendriyah/ haribhir vadhyamānas ca yācamānah krtāñjalih, rāghavena paritrāto jīvāmi ha vadrcchavā/ esa śailaih śilābhiś ca pūravitvā mahārnavam, 6021011c dvāram āśritva lankāvā rāmas tisthati sāyudhah/garudavvūham āsthāva sarvato haribhir vṛtaḥ, mām visṛjya mahātejā lankām evābhivartate/ purā prākāram āyāti kṣipram ekataram kuru, sītām cāsmai prayacchāśu suyuddham vā pradīyatām/ manasā samtatāpātha tac chrutvā rāksasādhipah, śārdūlasya mahad vākyam athovāca sa rāvanah/ yadi mām pratiyudhyeran devagandharvadānavāh, naiva sītām pradāsyāmi sarvalokabhayād api/ evam uktvā mahātejā rāvanah punar abravīt, cāritā bhavatā senā ke 'tra śūrāḥ plavamgamāḥ/ kīdṛśāḥ kimprabhāvāś ca vānarā ye durāsadāḥ, kasya putrāś ca pautrāś ca tattvam ākhyāhi rākṣasa/ tatr atra pratipatsyāmi jñātvā teṣām balābalam, avaśyam balasamkhyānam kartavyam yuddham icchatā/ athaivam uktaḥ śārdūlo rāvaṇenottamaś caraḥ, idam vacanam ārebhe vaktum rāvanasamnidhau/ atharksarajasah putro yudhi rājan sudurjayah, gadgadasyātha putro 'tra jāmbavān iti viśrutah/ gadgadasyaiva putro 'nyo guruputrah śatakratoh, kadanam yasya putrena kṛtam ekena raksasām/ susenaś cāpi dharmātmā putro dharmasya vīryavān, saumyah somātmajas cātra rājan dadhimukhah kapih/ sumukho durmukhas cātra vegadarsī ca vānarah, mrtvur vānararūpena nūnam srstah svavambhuvā/ putro hutavahasvātha nīlah senāpatih svavam,

anilasya ca putro 'tra hanūmān iti viśrutaḥ/ naptā śakrasya durdharşo balavān aṅgado yuvā, maindaś ca dvividaś cobhau balināv aśvisaṁbhavau/ putrā vaivasvatasyātra pañcakālāntakopamāḥ, gajo gavākṣo gavayaḥ śarabho gandhamādanaḥ/ śveto jyotirmukhaś cātra bhāskarasyātmasaṁbhavau,varuṇasya ca putro 'tha hemakūṭaḥ plavaṁgamaḥ/ viśvakarmasuto vīro nalaḥ plavagasattamaḥ, vikrānto vegavān atra vasuputraḥ sudurdharaḥ/ daśavānarakoṭyaś ca śūrāṇāṁ yuddhakāṅkṣiṇām, śrīmatāṁ devaputrāṇāṁ śeṣān nākhyātum utsahe/ putro daśarathasyaiṣa siṁhasaṁhanano yuvā, dūṣaṇo nihato yena kharaś ca triśirās tathā/ nāsti rāmasya sadṛśo vikrame bhuvi kaś cana, virādho nihato yena kabandhaś cāntakopa./ vaktuṁ na śakto rāmasya naraḥ kaś cid guṇān kṣitau, janasthānagatā yena tāvanto rākṣasā hatāḥ/ lakṣmaṇaś cātra dharmātmā mātaṁgānām ivarṣabhaḥ, yasya bāṇapathaṁ prāpya na jīved api vāsavaḥ/ rākṣasānāṁ variṣṭhaś ca tava bhrātā vibhīṣaṇaḥ, parigṛhya purīṁ laṅkāṁ rāghavasya hite rataḥ/ iti sarvaṁ samākhyātaṁ tavedaṁ vānaraṁ balam, suvele 'dhiṣṭhitaṁ śaile śeṣakārye bhavān gatiḥ/

As Shardula along with his spies of Ravana as caught by Vibhishana and got the 'deha shuddhi'by the Vanaras, yet released due to Rama's compassion, met Ravana again. Ravana then asked Shardula as why was he not as aggressive and plucky as usual, then Shardula replied that the vanara veeraas were ever vigilant and Rama protects them all. Even an entry to 'Rama sannidhi'was impossible. Even so we did some how reach atop Suvela Parvata as there was suspicion all around but were finally identified by Vibhishana again and got the pounding of Vanaras, but the ever benign Rama let us free as we retuned to you, nevertheless. Lakshmana was keeping guard at the entrance. The parting warning was that either Sita be released or face the attack. Ravana repeated his assertion once again: even if devata-gandharvadaanava and trilokas get shattered by me, still Sita would nor be freed. Then he asked Shardula again: 'you had somehow penetrated into the Vanara warriors anyway: tell me, who are the mighty ones who seem to be rather risky among them'. The was: Maha Raja! <u>Jambavan</u> appeared to be risky and in a battle against him to be tough indeed. He is the Riksha Raja being the son of Gadgada, and the latter too would be difficult to win over. Gadgada has another son named Dhumna. Then there is Indra saamana yoddhha Kesari the Indra Guru Brihaapati samaana and of course Hanuman the son of Kesari who could himself destroy and uproot the rakshasaas as race! Then Maha Raja! dharmtma and parakrami Sushena is the son of Dharma, Further Dadhimukha Vanara the son of Chandra Deva. Then Sumukha, Durmukha and Vega darshi are the sons of Mrityu Devata. Surely indeed, Brahma appears to have blessed Mrityu with these mighty sons! Then the mention worthy senapati Neela Vanara the son of Agni Deva like the famed Hanuman is Vayu Putra. Balayan Angada is the nephew of Indra, besides Mainda and Dwivida the sons of Ahshvini Kumaras. Then Gaja-Gavaksha-Gavaya-Sharabha and Gandhamaadana are the sons of Yama Dharna Raja being the Kaala and Antaka samana parakramis! This is how the vanaras of 'devaamsha sambhutas' are as many as ten crores, all being the dutiful performers of Shri Rama Karya! Maha Raja! the valour of Shri Rama is inestimable as he has the past record of devastating Khara-Dushana-Trishiras already. He had destroyed Viraadha and vikaraala Kabandha in the past and is indeed is invincible. Further at the janasthaana in the dandakaaranya, Rama had the fame of countless Rakshas Veeras. Dharmatma Lakshmana is surely of the paraakrama of Gaja Raja and his 'baana prayoga prayeenata' has a record of 'never miss the targets'. There besides, Shveta and Jyotirmukha Vaanara Veeras are the ourasa putras of Surya Deva, while Hemakuta Vaanara Veera is stated as Varuna Putra. Besides, Veeravara Nala is stated as the son of Vishvakarma the celestial architect cum construction engineer while Vegashali named maha vaanara is stated to be the son of Vasu Devatas. Thus Shri Rama Lakshmanas are now in the company of Vibhishana Sugrivas are ever ready to jump in to the offensive. And Maha Raja! the rest is in your hands and command!

Sarga Thirty One

Having shattered by Rama's impending attack by his spies, Ravana sought to a cover up his vicarious pleasure and planned a trick by presenting a Maya Rama Mastaka to Sita to force her to submission.

Tatas tam aksobhyabalam lankāyām nrpateś carah, suvele rāghavam śaile nivistam pratyavedayan/ cārāṇām rāvaṇaḥ śrutvā prāptam rāmam mahābalam, jātodvego 'bhavat kim cit sacivām's cedam abravīt/ mantriņah śīghram āyāntu sarve vai susamāhitāh, ayam no mantrakālo hi samprāpta iva rākṣasāh/ tasya tac chāsanam śrutvā mantriņo 'bhyāgaman drutam, tataḥ sammantrayām āsa sacivai rākṣasaiḥ saha/mantravitvā sa durdharsah ksamam vat samanantaram, visarjavitvā sacivān praviveša svam ālayam/ tato rākṣasam āhūya vidyujjihvam mahābalam, māyāvidam mahāmāyah prāviśad yatra maithilī/ vidyujjihvam ca māyājñam abravīd rākṣasādhipaḥ, mohayiṣyāmahe sītām māyayā janakātmajām/śiro māyāmayam grhya rāghayasya niśācara, mām tvam samupatisthasya mahac ca saśaram dhanuh/ eyam uktas tathety āha vidyujjihvo niśācarah, tasya tusto 'bhavad rājā pradadau ca vibhūsanam/ aśokavanikāyām tu praviveśa mahābalah, tato dīnām adainyārhām dadarśa dhanadānujah, adhomukhīm śokaparām upavistām mahītale/ bhartāram eva dhyāyantīm aśokavanikām gatām, upāsyamānām ghorābhī rāksasībhir adūratah/ upasrtya tatah sītām praharsan nāma kīrtayan, idam ca vacanam dhṛṣṭam uvāca janakātmajām/ sāntvyamānā mayā bhadre yam upāśritya valgase, khara hantā sa te bhartā rāghavah samare hatah/ chinnam te sarvato mūlam darpas te nihato mayā, vyasanenātmanah sīte mama bhāryā bhavisyasi/ alpapunye nivrttārthe mūdhe panditamānini, śrnu bhartrbadham sīte ghoram vṛtravadham yathā/ samāyātaḥ samudrāntam mām hantum kila rāghava, vānarendrapraṇītena balena mahatā vṛtaḥ/ samniviṣṭaḥ samudrasya tīram āsādya dakṣiṇam,balena mahatā rāmo vrajaty astam divākare/ athādhvani pariśrāntam ardharātre sthitam balam, sukhasuptam samāsādya cāritam prathamam caraiḥ/ tat prahastapraṇītena balena mahatā mama, balam asva hatam rātrau vatra rāmah sulakşmanah/ paṭṭasān parighān khaḍgāmś cakrān daṇḍān mahāyasān, bānajālāni śūlāni bhāsvarān kūtamudgarān/vastīś ca tomarān prāsams cakrāni musalāni ca,udvamvodvamva raksobhir vānaresu nipātitāḥ/ atha suptasya rāmasya prahastena pramāthinā, asaktam kṛtahastena śiraś chinnam mahāsinā/ vibhīṣaṇaḥ samutpatya nigṛhīto yadṛcchayā, diśaḥ pravrājitaḥ sarvair lakṣmaṇaḥ plavagaiḥ saha/ sugrīvo grīvayā sete bhagnayā plavagādhipah, nirastahanukah sete hanūmān rāksasair hatah/jāmbavān atha jānubhyām utpatan nihato yudhi, pattasair bahubhiś chinno nikṛttah pādapo yathā/ maindaś ca dvividas cobhau nihatau vānararsabhau, nihsvasantau rudantau ca rudhirena samuksitau/ asinābhyāhatas chinno madhye ripuniṣūdanaḥ, abhiṣṭanati medinyām panasaḥ panaso yathā/ nārācair bahubhiś chinnah śete daryām darīmukhah, kumudas tu mahātejā niskūjan sāyakair hatah/ angado bahubhiś chinnaḥ śarair āsādya rākṣasaiḥ, pātito rudhirodgārī kṣitau nipatito 'ngadaḥ/ harayo mathitā nāgai rathajālais tathāpare, śāyitā mṛditās tatra vāyuvegair ivāmbudāḥ/pradrutāś ca pare trastā hanyamānā jaghanyatah, abhidrutās tu raksobhih simhair iva mahādvipāh/ sāgare patitāh ke cit ke cid gaganam āśritāh, rksā vrksān upārūdhā vānarais tu vimiśritāh/ sāgarasya ca tīresu śailesu ca vanesu ca, piṅgāksās te virūpāksair bahubhir bahavo hatāh/ evam tava hato bhartā sasainyo mama senayā, ksatajārdram rajodhvastam idam cāsyāhṛtam śirah/ tatah paramadurdharso rāvano rāksaseśvarah, sītāyām upaśṛṇvantyām rākṣasīm idam abravīt/ rākṣasam krūrakarmāṇam vidyujjihvam tvam ānaya, yena tad rāghavaśirah saṃgrāmāt svayam āḥṛtam/ vidyujjihvas tato gṛhya śiras tat saśarāsanam, praṇāmam śirasā kṛtvā rāvaṇasyāgrataḥ sthitaḥ/

tam abravīt tato rājā rāvaņo rākṣasam sthitam, vidyujjihvam mahājihvam samīpaparivartinam/ agrataḥ kuru sītāyāḥ śīghram dāśaratheḥ śiraḥ, avasthām paścimām bhartuḥ kṛpaṇā sādhu paśyatu/ evam uktam tu tad rakṣaḥ śiras tat priyadarśanam, upanikṣipya sītāyāḥ kṣipram antaradhīyata/ rāvaṇaś cāpi cikṣepa bhāsvaram kārmukam mahat, triṣu lokeṣu vikhyātam sītām idam uvāca ha/ idam tat tava rāmasya kārmukam jyāsamanvitam, iha prahastenānītam hatvā tam niśi mānuṣam/ sa vidyujjihvena sahaiva tac chiro; dhanuś ca bhūmau vinikīrya rāvaṇaḥ,videharājasya sutām yaśasvinīm; tato 'bravīt tām bhava me vaśānugā/

Having convened an emergency meeting of his 'maha mantri mandali', Ravanasura instructed maha maayaviVidyujjihva to create a replica of Shri Rama's head as having fallen on a mutual encounter with Ravana rolled down on the battle ground and bring to to him atonce. As Vidyujihva created the 'Maya Shri Rama Shiras' likewise with Rama's head with flows of blood still trickling, Ravana along with the minister headed to Ashoka Vaatika and saw Devu Sita who was already drowned in tears awaiting her dearmost Shri Rama,and quite oblivious of the developments at the gates of Lankapuri. Surrounded by

cruel most and grotesque Maha Rakshasis, Ravana reached Devi Sita and addressed her: <code>sāntvyamānā</code> <code>mayā</code> <code>bhadre</code> <code>yam</code> <code>upāśritya</code> <code>valgase</code>, <code>khara</code> <code>hantā</code> <code>sa</code> <code>te</code> <code>bhartā</code> <code>rāghavaḥ</code> <code>samare</code> <code>hataḥ/</code> <code>chinnam</code> <code>te</code> <code>sarvato</code> <code>mūlam</code> <code>darpas</code> <code>te</code> <code>nihato</code> <code>mayā</code>, <code>vyasanenātmanaḥ</code> <code>sīte</code> <code>mama</code> <code>bhāryā</code> <code>bhaviṣyasi/</code> <code>alpapunye</code> <code>nivṛttārthe</code> <code>mūdhe</code> <code>paṇḍitamānini</code>, <code>śṛnu</code> <code>bhartṛbadham</code> <code>sīte</code> <code>ghoram</code> <code>vṛtravadham</code> <code>yathā/</code> Bhadre! I have been constanly approaching you again and again with my sincere requests to conceed and become my Prime Queenship but ignored asserting that your husband was a hero to have killed Khara and his associates. But alas! the hero is now lying with his severed head as smashed down by me. I have smashed your overbearing arrogance and self decietfulness. Yet, I have no doubt could consider your Prime Queenship. Now ignore your Shri Rama chintana for ever and for good. Your so called 'punya' as a pativrata has thus faded suddenly and at least now you must enjoy the hues of the rising Sun in your youth days ahead. In case you are interested as to how the erstwhile story of <code>Vritraasura</code> <code>vadha</code> had taken place, you may like to hear from me the circumstances leading to Rama's sad termination of life. (Ref. Vishleshana on Vritrasura Vadha vide Sarga Twenty Five of Valmiki Ayodhya Ramayana originally from Maha Bhagavata and Devi Bhagavata)

Stanzas 18 on ward:

It is learnt that a Maha Vaavara Sena headed by Sugriva had recently arrived at the shores of the Saagara headed by Rama on the northen side of Lankapuri. At the midnight time, it appeared that the Vanara Sena was bodly tired and fell asleep. Then my 'guptachaaris' visited the place. Then the detachment of the Rakshasa Sena led by Prahasta, where Rama Lakshmanas too were present, destroyed a good portion of the Vanara sena. Then my Rakshasa soldiers utilised pattishaas-parighas-chakras-shulas-musalas and so on and killed the vanaras. atha suptasya rāmasya prahastena pramāthinā, asaktam kṛtahastena śiraś chinnam mahāsinā/ vibhīsanah samutpatya nigrhīto yadrechayā, diśah pravrājitah sarvair laksmanah plavagaih saha/ sugrīvo grīvayā śete bhagnayā plavagādhipah, nirastahanukah śete hanūmān rāksasair hatah/Then Shatru Vinasahana Rakshasa Maha Senapati Prahasta whose staggering physical stature with long and mighty arms took up a sharp sword and severed your dear Shri Rama Mastaka as is presented to you now. Then suddenly caught hold of Vibhishana the 'swami drohi' being my own younger brother as also Lakshmana who was making all out efforts to run away were killed in moments of time. Then the demoralised Sugriva the King of Vanaras was beheaded by Prahasta even as Hanuman was already hurt with his 'hanu' or jaw was overpowered by a strong group of Maha Raakshaas and was killed mercilessly recalling the nasty memories of his erstwhile misadventure in his earlier visit to Lanka Puri as a proper rertibution. Similarly Jambavan the King of Bhallukas as was leaping back and forth facing the Rakshasa Veeras was hurt by his ghutana or knees by the 'pattisha prahaaraas' of a handful Rakshasa Veeras! Similarly, Mainda-Dvivida Maha Vanara Yodhhas were despatched to Yama Puri. Similarly, Panasa-Andada and the so called Maha Vanara prabhritis were subjected to death.' As Ravanasura then instructed his Minister Vudyujjihva to keep Rama Mastaka right before Devi Sita and asserted as follows rāvanas cāpi ciksepa bhāsvaram kārmukam mahat, trisu lokesu vikhvātam sītām idam uvāca ha/idam tat taya rāmasya kārmukam įvāsamanyitam, iha prahastenānītam hatyā tam niśi mānusam/ sa vidyujjihyena sahaiva tac chiro; dhanuś ca bhūmau vinikīrya rāvaṇaḥ, videharājasya sutām yaśasvinīm; tato 'bravīt tām bhava me vaśānugā/ Site! This is Rama's 'tribhuvana khyaata Rama dhanush' down as placed along with Shri Rama Mastaka and dispppeared with a threat to her surrender even now.

Sarga Thirty Two

As Ravana showed the maya Rama mastaka to Devi Sita mischievously, she was totally lost her self awareness totally shattered and requested Ravana to kill her and place her body besides Rama's too.

Sā sītā tac chiro dṛṣṭvā tac ca kārmukam uttamam, sugrīvapratisamsargam ākhyātam ca hanūmatā/ nayane mukhavarṇam ca bhartus tat sadṛśam mukham, keśān keśāntadeśam ca tam ca cūḍāmaṇim śubham/ etaih sarvair abhijñānair abhijñāva suduhkhitā, vijagarhe 'tha kaikevīm krośantī kurarī vathā/

sakāmā bhava kaikeyi hato 'yam kulanandanah, kulam utsāditam sarvam tvayā kalahaśīlayā/ āryena kim nu kaikeyyāh krtam rāmena vipriyam, yad grhāc cīravasanas tayā prasthāpito vanam/ evam uktvā tu vaidehī vepamānā tapasvinī, jagāma jagatīm bālā chinnā tu kadalī yathā/ sā muhūrtāt samāśvasya pratilabhya ca cetanām, tac chiraḥ samupāghrāya vilalāpāyatekṣaṇā/ hā hatāsmi mahābāho vīravratam anuvratā, imām te paścimāvasthām gatāsmi vidhavā krtā/ prathamam maranam nārvā bhartur vaigunyam ucyate, suvrttah sādhuvrttāyāh samvrttas tvam mamāgratah/ duḥkhād duḥkham prapannāyā magnāyāh śokasāgare, yo hi mām udyatas trātum so 'pi tvam vinipātitah/ sā śvaśrūr mama kausalyā tvavā putrena rāghava, vatseneva vathā dhenur vivatsā vatsalā krtā/ ādistam dīrgham āyus te vair acintyaparākrama, anrtam vacanam tesām alpāyur asi rāghava/ atha vā nasyati prajñā prājñasyāpi satas tava, pacaty enam tathā kālo bhūtānām prabhavo hy ayam/ adrstam mṛtyum āpannah kasmāt tvam nayaśāstravit, vyasanānām upāyajñah kuśalo hy asi varjane/tathā tvam samparisvajya raudrayāti nṛśamsayā. kālarātryā mayācchidya hṛtaḥ kamalalocanaḥ/ upaśeṣe mahābāho mām vihāya tapasvinīm, priyām iva śubhām nārīm pṛthivīm puruṣarṣabha/ arcitam satatam yatnād gandhamālyair mayā tava, idam te matpriyam vīra dhanuḥ kāñcanabhūṣitam/ pitrā daśarathena tvam śvaśureṇa mamānagha, pūrvais ca pitrbhih sārdham nūnam svarge samāgatah/ divi naksatrabhūtas tvam mahat karma krtam priyam, punyam rājarşivamsam tvam ātmanah samupekṣase/kim mān na prekṣase rājan kim mām na pratibhāṣase, bālām bālena samprāptām bhāryām mām sahacāriṇīm/ samsrutam grhṇatā pāṇim carisyāmīti yat tvayā, smara tan mama kākutstha naya mām api duhkhitām/ kasmān mām apahāya tvam gato gatimatām vara, asmāl lokād amum lokam tyaktvā mām iha duhkhitām/ kalyānair ucitam yat tat parişvaktam mayaiva tu, kravyādais tac charīram te nūnam viparikrsyate/ agnistomādibhir yajñair istavān āptadaksinaih, agnihotrena samskāram kena tvam tu na lapsvase/ pravrajvām upapannānām trayāṇām ekam āgatam, pariprakṣyati kausalyā lakṣmaṇam śokalālasā/ sa tasyāḥ paripṛcchantyā vadham mitrabalasya te, tava cākhyāsyate nūnam niśāyām rāksasair vadham/ sā tvām suptam hatam śrutvā mām ca raksogrham gatām, hṛdayena vidīrnena na bhavisyati rāghava/ sādhu pātaya mām ksipram rāmasyopari rāvanah, samānaya patim patnyā kuru kalyānam uttamam/ sirasā me siras cāsya kāyam kāyena yojaya, rāvanānugamisyāmi gatim bhartur mahātmanah, muhūrtam api necchāmi jīvitum pāpajīvinā/ śrutam mayā vedavidām brāhmaṇānām pitur grhe, yāsām strīṇām priyo bhartā tāsām lokā mahodayāh/ ksamā yasmin damas tyāgah satyam dharmah krtajñatā, ahimsā caiya bhūtānām tam rte kā gatir mama/ iti sā duhkhasamtaptā vilalāpāyateksanā, bhartuh śiro dhanus tatra samīksya janakātmajā/ evam lālapyamānāyām sītāyām tatra rākṣasaḥ, abhicakrāma bhartāram anīkasthaḥ kṛtāñjaliḥ/ vijayasvāryaputreti so 'bhivādya prasādya ca, nyavedayad anuprāptam prahastam vāhinīpatim/ amātyaih sahitah sarvaih prahastah samupasthitah, kim cid ātyayikam kāryam tesām tvam daršanam kuru/ etac chrutvā daśagrīvo rāksasaprativeditam, aśokavanikām tyaktvā mantrinām darśanam yayau/ sa tu sarvam samarthyaiva mantribhih kṛtyam ātmanah, sabhām praviśya vidadhe viditvā rāmavikramam/ antardhānam tu tac chīrṣam tac ca kārmukam uttamam, jagāma rāvaṇasyaiva niryāṇasamanantaram/ rākṣasendras tu taih sārdham mantribhir bhīmavikramaih, samarthayām āsa tadā rāmakāryaviniścayam/ avidūrasthitān sarvān balādhyakṣān hitaiṣiṇaḥ, abravīt kālasadṛśo rāvaṇo rākṣasādhipaḥ/ śīghram bherīninādena sphutakonāhatena me, samānavadhvam sainvāni vaktavvam ca na kāranam/ tatas tatheti pratigrhya tad vaco; balādhipās te mahad ātmano balam, samānayam's caiva samāgatam ca te; nyavedayan bhartari yuddhakānkṣiṇi/

Having closely examined the head and the precise face cut of her dearmost husband, his lotus like eyes, mukhaakriti, kesha, lalaata, choodaanani and so on again and again repeatedly, Devi Sita was totally shattered with a semi heart break down nearly senseless unconciousness for quite sometime. On slight recovery of senses, she traced back past memories. She then gradually realised that the very root cause of the sordid drama of her distress of dandakaranya nivasa was indeed that wretched woman Kaikeyi! Then Devi Sita angrily twisted her eye brows and addressed Kaikeyi in fuming lividness in hushed up tone: 'Kaikeyi, now is your frustration and jealousy for Rama is fruiful with an anti clamatic effect by killing my Pati Deva! You indeed are exemplary as the true symbol of evil as a shame to womanhood. For which 'aparaadha' had ever been perpetrated by him to you to change his silk robes that he was born with were forced by him with naara vastras! You are a notorious and the meanest 'kalahakarani' ever born!' Having

said likewise Devi Sita fell down to earth with depression. After recovery, she cried out incessantly thus: 'Ha Maha baaho, I am shattered to near death. I am having to see at your last breath as am literally widowed. The age old adage states that early widowhood for a married woman is a curse and precursor of evel days ahead. Even as I have been strictly observing the precepts of 'paativratya', my sadaachari husband disappearing this way, is curse of the worst type. I am now encountering a 'maha sankata' drowned in 'shoka maha samudra' as the rays of my hopes and aspirations are erased for ever. Raghu nandana! My mother in law Devi Kousalya's state now should be like a holy cow in the absence of a dearmost calf's sudden disappearance with death is unimajinable! Raghu Veera! the Jyotisha Maha Panditas asserted repeatedly that your 'ayush' is for thousands of life but you have negated them so soon and so suddenly! Raghu nandana! You have now proved to be of an 'alpaayusha'! Even being a symbol of being a 'buddhiman' your high grasp of emerging situations seem to have faded away. What a tragedy that when you were asleep deeply you had the fate of your end. If only you were even slightly awaken even with flimsy consciousness this tragedy could have been averted. You are an outstanding 'Neeti Shastra Vidvaan' yet I am uable to yet realise that you could be no more in this age of yours. Kamala nayana! Bhishana Kaaala Ratri seems to have hugged you with force. Nishpaapa Raghunandana! Surely by now you have entered Swarga Loka and have since met Maha Dasharatha as he should be familiarising your ancestors of the glorious Ikshvaaku Vamsha! Maha Raja Shri Rama! You have left behind your 'dharma patni' and assuredly I should be your 'saha dharma charini' ever! Kindly rememer me and take me too aling with you! I keep always embrace your mangala maya vigrah, even the' maamsa bhakshi himsarmaka rakshasis' seek to drag me to death. You have been always dutifully performing agnihoshthamadi yaginas and invoke Yagina purusha regularly but the 'daaha samskaara kartas' are not responsive now! Ha Maha Raja Rama! You had undergone the untold miseries to cross the Maha Sumudra for the sake of rescuing this 'mandabhagya' and having deftly crossed the invariable hurdles of endearing Sugriva by killing Vaali, performed his rajyaabhisheka, searching for me in north-east-west to locate me finally beyond the southern Mahasagara, and the extraordinaty and sensational success of 'setu bandhana' and alas even without waging an opportunity of encounteing the ever hatred Ravana had succumbed to the fate in deep sleep! sirasā me siras cāsya kāyam kāyena yojaya, rāvaṇānugamiṣyāmi gatim bhartur mahātmanah, muhūrtam api necchāmi jīvitum pāpajīvinā/Ravana! Now do kindly let me too be placed along with the body of Shri Rama and kill me too along.' There after Ravana moved away and joined the 'mantri maha sabha' and instructed them to command the entire Maha Rakshasa Sena to gather all together and initiate trumpeting as a symbol of attack the Vanara Sena!

Sarga Thirty Three

As Devi Sita was drowned in 'duhka saagara'on seeing Rama's severed head, as shown by Mayavi Ravana, dharma buddhi Sarama Rakshsi reveals the truth asserting Rama Vijaya, assuaging Devi's fears

Sītām tu mohitām dṛṣṭvā saramā nāma rākṣasī, āsasādāśu vaidehīm priyām praṇayinī sakhī/ sā hi tatra kṛtā mitram sītayā rakṣyamāṇayā, rakṣantī rāvaṇād iṣṭā sānukrośā dṛḍhavratā/ sā dadarśa sakhīm sītām saramā naṣṭacetanām, upāvṛtyotthitām dhvastām vaḍavām iva pāmsuṣu/ tām samāśvāsayām āsa sakhī snehena suvratā, uktā yad rāvaṇena tvam pratyuktam ca svayam tvayā/ sakhīsnehena tad bhīru mayā sarvam pratiśrutam, līnayā ganahe śūhye bhayam utsṛjya rāvaṇāt, tava hetor viśālākṣi na hi me jīvitam priyam/ sa sambhrāntaś ca niṣkrānto yat kṛte rākṣasādhipaḥ, tac ca me viditam sarvam abhiniṣkramya maithili/ na śakyam sauptikam kartum rāmasya viditātmanaḥ, vadhaś ca puruṣavyāghre tasminn evopapadyate/ na caiva vānarā hantum śakyāḥ pādapayodhinaḥ, surā devarṣabheṇeva rāmeṇa hi surakṣitāh/ dīrghavṛttabhujaḥ śrīmān mahoraskaḥ pratāpavān, dhanvī samhananopeto dharmātmā bhuvi viśrutaḥ/ vikrānto rakṣitā nityam ātmanaś ca parasya ca, lakṣmaṇena saha bhrātrā kuśalī nayaśāstravit/ hantā parabalaughānām acintyabalapauruṣaḥ, na hato rāghavaḥ śrīmān sīte śatrunibarhaṇaḥ/ ayuktabuddhikṛtyena sarvabhūtavirodhinā, iyam prayuktā raudreṇa māyā māyāvidā tvayi/ śokas te vigataḥ sarvaḥ kalyāṇam tvām upasthitam, dhruvam tvām bhajate lakṣmīḥ priyam prītikaram śṛṇu/ uttīrya sāgaram rāmaḥ saha vānarasenayā, samniviṣṭaḥ samudrasya tīram āsādya dakṣiṇam/ dṛṣṭo me

paripūrnārthah kākutsthah sahalaksmanah, sahitaih sāgarāntasthair balais tisthati raksitah/ anena preșitā ye ca rākṣasā laghuvikramaḥ,rāghavas tīrṇa ity evam pravṛttis tair ihāhṛtā/ sa tām śrutvā viśālākṣi pravṛttim rākṣasādhipaḥ, eṣa mantrayate sarvaih sacivaiḥ saha rāvaṇaḥ/ iti bruvāṇā saramā rākṣasī sītayā saha, sarvodyogena sainyānām sabdam susrāva bhairavam/dandanirghātavādinyāh śrutyā bheryā mahāsyanam, uyāca saramā sītām idam madhurabhāsinī/ samnāhajananī hy esā bhairayā bhīru bherikā, bherīnādam ca gambhīram śrnu toyadanisvanam/ kalpyante mattamātamgā yujyante rathavājinah, tatra tatra ca samnaddhāh sampatanti padātayah/āpūryante rājamārgāh sainyair adbhutadarśanaih, vegavadbhir nadadbhiś ca tovaughair iva sāgarah/śāstrānām ca prasannānām carmanām varmanām tathā, rathavājigajānām ca bhūsitānām ca raksasām/ prabhām visrjatām paśya nānāvarṇām samutthitām, vanam nirdahato dharme yathārūpam vibhāvasoḥ/ghaṇṭānām śṛṇu nirghoṣam rathānām sṛnu nisvanam, hayānām hesamānānām sṛnu tūryadhvanim yathā/ udyatāyudhahastānām rāksasendrānuyāyinām, sambhramo raksasām esa tumulo lomaharsanah/ śrīs tvām bhajati śokaghnī rakşasām bhayam āgatam, rāmāt kamalapatrākşi daityānām iva vāsavāt/ avajitya jitakrodhas tam acintyaparākramaḥ, rāvaṇam samare hatvā bhartā tvādhigamiṣyati/ vikramiṣyati rakṣaḥsu bhartā te sahalaksmanah, yathā śatrusu śatrughno visnunā saha yāsayah/ āgatasya hi rāmasya ksipram aṅkagatāṁ satīm, aham drakṣyāmi siddhārthām tvām śatrau vinipātite/ aśrūny ānandajāni tvam vartayiṣyasi śobhane, samāgamya pariṣvaktā tasyorasi mahorasaḥ/ acirān mokṣyate sīte devi te jaghanam gatām, dhṛtām etām bahūn māsān venīm rāmo mahābalah/ tasya dṛstvā mukham devi pūrnacandram ivoditam, moksyase śokajam vāri nirmokam iva pannagī/rāvanam samare hatvā nacirād eva maithili, tvayā samagram priyayā sukhārho lapsyate sukham/ samāgatā tvam rāmeņa modişyasi mahātmanā, suvarsena samāyuktā yathā sasyena medinī/ giriyaram abhito 'nuvartamāno; haya iya mandalam āśu yah karoti, tam iha saranam abhyupehi devi; divasakaram prabhavo hy ayam prajānām/

As Devi Sita was thus subjected with Rakashas Maya as the Shri Rama's head was shown to her, she felt splintered and heart broken as Rakshasi Sarama who was actually posted by Ravana to ensure her raksha from the co Rakshasis who were blood sucking and human flesh eating, sought to assuage Sita's desperation and distress from time to time. As Devi Sita was lying on the dusty ground crestfallen, she advanced towards the illustrious 'nara naari' in a sincere manner and slowly and softly addressed her: ' Videha nandini! Be brave now and your inner psyche need not be off the balance. I had hidden myself from Ravana and heard what all he had blabbered; don't you get alarmed by what he boasted as Shri Rama's head was a make believe 'maaya'. Have you noticed as to how he had left rushing back as he was getting nervous. na śakyam sauptikam kartum rāmasya viditātmanah, vadhaś ca purusavyāghre tasminn evopapadyate/ na caiva vānarā hantum śakyāh pādapayodhinah, surā devarsabheneva rāmena hi suraksitāh/dīrghavrttabhujah śrīmān mahoraskah pratāpavān, dhanvī samhananopeto dharmātmā bhuvi viśrutah/ Bhagavan Shri Rama is a 'sarvgjna' or omni-scient the all knowing. To be able to kill him in his deep sleep is unimaginable. It is beyond comprehension that his sixth sense gets diluted at any time, any place or any context. Further the Maha Vanaras who are playful and attack the enemies by maha vrikshas but are not possible to get subdued. Just as samasta devaas shield and proctect Indra Deva, Vaanara Veeras, like Sugriva-Hanuman-Angada and Jambayan would never ever allow Rakshasaas to disturb Rama's sleep and the possibilty is just a hallucination.vikrānto rakṣitā nityam ātmanaś ca parasya ca, laksmanena saha bhrātrā kuśalī nayaśāstravit/ hantā parabalaughānām acintyabalapaurusah, na hato rāghavah śrīmān sīte śatrunibarhanah/ ayuktabuddhikṛtyena sarvabhūta -virodhinā, iyam prayuktā raudrena māyā māyāvidā tvayi/ śokas te vigatah sarvah kalyānam tvām upasthitam, dhruvam tvām bhajate lakṣmīḥ priyam prītikaram śṛṇu/ Devi Sita! Shriman Rama with broad shoulders being 'aajaanabaahu', 'vishaala vakshasthala', 'prataapi', 'dhanurdhara', 'bhu mandala vikhyaata dharmatma' is a 'yuga purusha'. His dear brother Veera Lakshmana like Adi Shesha to Maha Vishnu is forever alert guarding Rama and there is no question of his having slipped in to deep sleep. He os a 'neeti shastra praveena' and of 'achintya pourusha. Ravana's 'buddhi and karma' or nature and deed are both dirty. He is nagative and mean minded, 'samasta praani virodhi', and an alternative to cruelty, jealousy, and worse still a notorious 'maayaavi'. With his vicarious pleasure, he had teased you and had made this scene to an innocent 'maha parivrara'. Assuredly, the days of your agony and Shri Rama Viyoga are nearly over and

the most auspiscious moments of Lakshmi Sevan to you are just round the corner. uttīrya sāgaram rāmah saha vānarasenayā, samnivistah samudrasya tīram āsādya dakṣiṇam/ dṛṣṭo me paripūrṇārthaḥ kākutsthah sahalaksmaņah, sahitaih sāgarāntasthair balais tisthati raksitah/ anena presitā ye ca rāksasā laghuvikramaḥ,rāghavas tīrṇa ity evam pravṛttis tair ihāhṛtā/ sa tām śrutvā viśālākṣi pravṛttim rākṣasādhipah, eṣa mantrayate sarvaih sacivaih saha rāvaṇah/ Shri Rama along with his Maha Vaanara Sena is at the door steps of Lankapuri having spead over the entire 'Samudra Teera' and is ever safe and ready to attack Ravana as at a epic popular 'dharma yuddhha'. Vishala Lochani! As the several messages of his spies having reached Ravana, he too right now is attending a convention of his mantris, spies and senapatis. iti bruvānā saramā rāksasī sītayā saha, sarvodyogena sainyānām sabdam susrāva bhairavam/ daṇḍanirghātavādinyāḥ śrutvā bheryā mahāsvanam, uvāca saramā sītām idam madhurabhāṣiṇī/ samnāhajananī hy esā bhairavā bhīru bherikā, bherīnādam ca gambhīram sṛnu toyadanisvanam/ Thus Rakshasi Surama was asuring Devi Sita, she herself heard Ravana's 'yuddha bheris'as a sure sign of attack against Shri Rama Sena. Surama then addressing Devi Sita gave a spctacle of Ravana sena: 'do you see the charitors tied with mighty horses move ahead, the foot soldiers in defined dresses are moving fast like the gushes of the sea tides well equipped with astra-shastras, kavachas, and brigh armanents. Are you noticing the movement of cavalry, elephantry, towards the Lanaka Nagara 'ashta dwaaras' especially the 'muhka dwaara'. But the foot soldiers, as also the chatioteers-horsemen, elephant riders all seem to be somewhat over shadowed by shades of concern and insecurity as they are normally very enthuiastic and daring otherwise. rāvanam samare hatvā nacirād eva maithili, tvayā samagram priyayā sukhārho lapsyate sukham/ samāgatā tvam rāmeņa modisyasi mahātmanā, suvarseņa samāyuktā yathā sasyena medinī/girivaram abhito 'nuvartamāno; haya iva mandalam āśu yaḥ karoti, tam iha śaraṇam abhyupehi devi; divasakaram prabhavo hy ayam prajānām/ Devi Sita! Remember, Kamala Nayana Shri Rama is indeed beyong the frontiers of anger and his parakrama is of invincibility. Like Mahendra who faces Daitya Sena with confidence and patience ever ready to face challenges, he has the trust and thrust to demolish Ravana and his bunch of criminals! Thus Rama would most certainly and pretty soon secure his 'pativrata'. Like even and timely rains help prithvi to become with surfiet of 'sasya shyaamala prakriti', you too Devi Vaidehi!! You to ought to soon receive the cool showers of Shri Rama Seva pretty soonest.Devi! May the 'Saptaashvas' which daily perform pradakshina of Meru Parvata, by your Kula Devata of Pratyaksha Bhaskara, bless you to reach your dear darling Shri Rama the soonest!

[Vishleshana on a) the Saptaashvas and Surya Ratha - b) Meru Pradakshina by the Sun Chariot:

a) Description of Surya Ratha: This chariot has one wheel, 'five aragajas' or comparments, tri naabhis or three axes. Its chakra or wheel has 'nemi' or wheel's rim with golden 'patthis' or frames. The chariot wheels are run by seven horses named Gayatri, Tristhup, Jagtati, Anushthup, Pankti, Brihati, and Ushnik which are the seven 'chhandas' of formal prosody and these or of the wind speed. In side the Surya Ratha, those accompanying illustratious personalities are described: These are Maharshis, Gandharvaas, Apsaras, Villagers, famed Serpents and rakshasaas. Sets of these groups alternate bimonthly. Dhata and Aryama Deva, Prajapatis Pulastya Rishi and Pulaha Rishi, Vaasuki and Sankirna Nagas, Tumburu and Narada Gandharva Singers, Kritasthala and Punjakashala Apsaras; Rathakrita and Rathouja as gramani, Heti and Praheti Rakshasas are those chosen ones on the Surya Ratha in Chaitra Vaisakhas. During the Greeshma Rithus of Jyeshtha Ahaadhaas, Mitra and Varunas would be Devatas, Atri- Vashishhas as Rishis, Takshaka Rambhaka Nagas, Menaka and Sahajanyas as Apsaras, Haha and Huhu Gandharvas, Rathantara and Rathakrita Graminis, Purushad and Vadha Rakshasaas; in Shravana Bhadrapadas the Devas would be Indra and Vaivashwan, Angira and Bhrigu are the Rishis; Ilapatra and Shankhapaala as the Nagas, Vishvaavasu and Sushena as Gandharvas, Praatha and Ratha as the graaminas, Pralocha and Nimlochanti among the Apsaras, and Heti and Vyaghra as the Rakshasaas. In Sharadriti month of two months of Ashviyuja and Kartika, the Devatas would be Parjanya and Pusha, Rishis Bharadwaja and Goutama, Chitrasena and Suruchi as Gandhravas, Vishvaachi and Ghritaachi as Aprasas; Iravata and Dhananjaya as the Nagas, Senajita and Sena Kayaka are the chosen graaminaas; and Aapa and Vaata as Rakshasaas. In the Hemanta Ritu of Maargaseersha and Pousha, the Devatas are Amshu and Bhaga,

Kashyapa and Kratu as Rishis, Mahapadma and Karkotaka as the Nagas, Chitrasena and Deerghaavuyu as Gandharva Singers; Purvachiti and Urvashi as Apsaras, Takshava and Arishtanemi as Sana as Senapatis Gramani and Tricidhu and Surta as Rakshasaas. During the Shishira Ritu's Maagha and Phalguni, Tvashta and Vishnu are the Devatas, Jamadagni and Vishwamitra as Rishis, Kadru Putra Kambal and Ashwatara as Maha Sarpas, Dhritaraashtra and Suryayarcha as Gandharvas, Tilotthama and Rambha as Apsaras, Ritajit and Satyajit as Graamanis, Brahmopeta and Yagnopaveta as Rakshasas. This was how, the 'Dwadasha Saptaka' or Deva-Rishi-Naaga-Gandharva-Aprasa- Graameena-Raakshasaas are distinguished in their own positions; Devatas enhance by their own presence; Rishis excel in rendering self scripted Surya Stutis; Gandharvas and Apsaras stand out in their singing and dances; Yaksha ganas cake care of the needs and desires of the Saptaashvas; Sarpas move around fast for law and order besides traffic regulation; and Rakshasas to follow the chariot for providing general backup and secutity. Balakhilya Rishis from morning to evening to mornings and so on cling to the Surya Radha always and for ever. Devatas lend and enhance their stock of celestial energies, tapobala, yoga bala, Dharma, Tatwa and such innate powers, transmit auspiciousness to all the Beings in the universe in the bhuta-vartamaaabhavishya kaala maana irrespective of Twenty Manyantaras and so on. Likewise Surva Deva regulates seasons and sustains their individual characretistics, the shukla- krishna pakshas, havya-kavya karyas, swaha-swadha karmas, vrishti-poshana, anna- jala-kanti sustenances; in in short the ever mobile vet stable Singular and Ever Perceivable Uniqueness!

b) To the east of Meru Parvata, atop the Manasarovara mountain, there exists Vasvaikasaara named Mahendra Nagara made of gold. Again to the south of Meru Parvata's back side, there is Manasaparvata and the Samyamani Pura where Lord Yama the illustrious son of Surya Deva resides. To the west of Meru parvata, on the west of Manasaparvata atop Sukha Purawhere Varuna Deva resides. To the north of Meru Parvata atop the Mahendra parvata, Vibhavari Pura where Chandra Deva resides. Behind the Manasotara on the four sides, the Ashta Dik Loka Paalakas are placed to protect Dharma and in the dakshinaayana period, Surya Deva oversees the activities of the Ashta Palakas during his period. Now, about the dakshinayana the travel of Surya; in the jyotishchakra in his pradakshina, He reaches Amaravati the capital of Indra Deva by the midday on earth; that would be when it coincides with Yama Raja's rising time, in Chandra's mid night time and so on. As Surya performs pradakshina or selfcircumam -bulation, he also does the same to nakshatras too do likewise. Precisely at the 'udaya' and 'astama' timings he does exactly the same year in and year out. At the Sun Rise he gradually increases his radiance till the afternoon and gradually reduces his tejas till the dusk time. In this way, Surya Deva performs pradakshina or circubambulation of self and so do the nakshatra mandali too. These all travel southward and at the rise and setting timings are defined as also at the poorvaahna and aparaahna or pre noon and afternoon they pass through two each of Deva puris and at the noon time, one Devapuri. Thus Surva from the rise gains momentum of radiance till afternoon and gradually lessens the severity of the kiranas thereafter till Sun set. Surya has the constant awareness of he 'udaya' and 'astamaya' at the east and west directions; while radiating the eastern side, spreading the heat and illumination on the sidewise north and south and decreasing the severity till disappearance. Meru Parvata is stated to be situated in the north of the highest of all the mountains; Lokaaloka is situated in the southern direction and since Prithvi's shadows are spread over, those Beings situated on the other side of the hemisphere are unable to Surya in the nights. Thus Surya Deva with a lakh of kiranas reaches the mid portion of 'Pushkaradwipa' by that time, despite his speed of one 'muhurta' or two ghadis at the rate of one thirty lakh and fifty thousand yojanas plus! Thus Surya Deva as he traverses southward for six months turns to uttarayana or northbound. At the time of Dakshinaayana, Surya would have reached the travel to the mid portion of Pushkara dwipa. This dwipa is as thrice as distant from Mru to Manasarovara! Now the distance on the southern course or Dakshinayana is of nine crore fifty lakh yojanas. After the dakshinayana, Surya reaches the Vishuva sthaana or the 'khagoleeya vishuvadvritta bindu' at the north of Ksheera sagara. Vishvan mandala parinama is three cores twenty one lakh yojanas. As Surya's course gets north bound or uttarayana entering'shravana nakshatra', then his course would be towards gomoda dwipa in between the south and north parts and in between are located jaradrava - Iravata to the north and

Vaishvanara to the south. Towards north is named Naaga veedhi and to the south is the Ajaveedhi. The nakshatras of Purvaashadha-Uttaraashadha-Mula are known as 'ajvithis' and abhijit, shravana and swaati are naagavithis. Ashvini, Bharani and Krittika are aslo naagavithis and so also Rohini-Ardra and Mrigashira. Pushya, Shlesha and Punarvasu ate called Iravati veethi. Purvaphalguni, Uttara phalguni and Magha are arshabhi veedhi. Purvabhadra, Uttataabhadra and Revati are of Goveedhi, while Shravana, Dhanishtha and Shatabhisha are of jagadveethi. Chitra and Swati are again of ajaveedhi, Jyrshtha, Vishaka and Anuraadha are of Mriga veedhi again. During Uttarayana samaya, the speed of Surya is slower and the nights are of longer duration and vice versa. Source: Matsya Purana]

Sarga Thirty Four

<u>Dharmika Rakshasi Sarama was endeared by Devi Sita who despatched to learn the latests on Ravana's front and returned that Ravana rejected his motherly mantrini's advice to return Sita but to no avail!</u>

Atha tām jātasamtāpām tena vākyena mohitām, saramā hlādayām āsa pṛtivīm dyaur ivāmbhasā/ tatas tasyā hitam sakhyāś cikīrṣantī sakhī vacaḥ, uvāca kāle kālajñā smitapūrvābhibhāṣiṇī/ utsaheyam aham gatvaa twadvaakyasamotekshana, nivedya kuśalam rāme praticchannā nivartitum/ na hi me kramamānāyā nirālambe vihāyasi, samartho gatim anvetum pavano garudo 'pi vā/ evam bruvānām tām sītā saramām punar abravīt, madhuram ślaksnayā vācā pūrvaśokābhipannayā/ samarthā gaganam gantum api vā tvam rasātalam, avagacchāmy akartavyam kartavyam te madantare/ matpriyam yadi kartavyam yadi buddhih sthirā tava, jñātum icchāmi tam gatvā kim karotīti rāvaṇah/ sa hi māyābalah krūro rāvaņah satrurāvaņah, mām mohayati dustātmā pītamātreva vāruņī/ tarjāpayati mām nityam bhartsāpayati cāsakṛt, rākṣasībhiḥ sughorābhir yā mām rakṣanti nityaśaḥ/ udvignā śankitā cāsmi na ca svastham manmama, tad bhayāc cāham udvignā aśokavanikām gatāh/ yadi nāma kathā tasya niścitam vāpi yad bhavet, nivedayethāh sarvam tat paro me syād anugrahah/ sā tv evam bruvatīm sītām saramā valgubhāṣiṇī, uvāca vacanam tasyāḥ spṛśantī bāṣpaviklavam/ eṣa te yady abhiprāyas tasmād gacchāmi jānaki, grhya śatror abhiprāyam upāvrttām ca paśya mām/ evam uktvā tato gatvā samīpam tasya raksasah, śuśrāva kathitam tasya rāvanasya samantrinah/ sā śrutvā niścayam tasya niścayajñā durātmanaḥ, punar evāgamat kṣipram aśokavanikām tadā/ sā praviṣṭā punas tatra dadarśa janakātmajām, pratīkṣamāṇām svām eva bhraṣṭapadmām iva śriyam/ tām tu sītā punaḥ prāptām saramām valgubhāsinīm, parisvajya ca susnigdham dadau ca svayam āsanam/ ihāsīnā sukham sarvam ākhyāhi mama tattvatah, krūrasya niścayam tasya rāvanasya durātmanah/ evam uktā tu saramā sītayā vepamānayā, kathitam sarvam ācasta rāvanasya samantrinah/jananyā rāksasendro vai tvanmoksārtham brhadvacah, aviddhena ca vaidehi mantrivrddhena bodhitah/ dīyatām abhisatkṛtya manujendrāya maithilī, nidarśanam te paryāptam janasthāne yad adbhutam/ langhanam ca samudrasya darśanam ca hanūmataḥ, vadham ca rakṣasām yuddhe kaḥ kuryān mānuṣo bhuvi/ evam sa mantrivṛddhaiś ca mātrā ca bahu bhāṣitaḥ, na tvām utsahate moktum artahm arthaparo yathā/ notsahaty amṛto moktum yuddhe tvām iti maith, sāmātvasva nrśamsasva niścavo hv esa vartate/ tad esā susthirā buddhir mrtvulobhād upasthitā, bhayān na śaktas tyām moktum anirastas tu samyuge, rāksasānām ca sarvesām ātmanaś ca vadhena hi/ nihatya rāvaņam samkhye sarvathā niśitaiḥ śaraiḥ, pratineṣyati rāmas tvām ayodhyām asitekṣaṇe/ etasminn antare śabdo bherīśankhasamākulah, śruto vai sarvasainyānām kampayan dharanītalam/ śrutvā tu tam vānarasainyaśabdam; lankāgatā rāksasarājabhrtyāh, nastaujaso dainyaparītacestāh; śreyo na paśyanti nrpasya dosaih/

As dharma buddhi Rakshasi Sarama pulled up Devi Sita's 'duhkha maha sagara' once the evil minded Ravanaasura displayed 'maya shiras' of Shri Rama, the much relieved Devi endeared Sarama Rakshasi. The Rakshasi then suggested on her own to Devi Sita that she might as well reach Shri Rama and convey the happenings here in respect of his beloved by her own 'maaya swarupa' and convey of her safety. Then Devi Sita smiled and said" Sarame! I am aware of your capability of doing so as you could reach the high skies or even paatala lokaas. But give me the favour of Ravana's action as he had left me; indeed, his vicious mind and action is unpredictable. That Maha Rakshasa is always used to frighten me, scare me to

the core and had instructed his rakshasi gang being a bunch of criminals to threaten like wise. Therefore do very kindly do me the favor of intimating his each and every suspicious 'duraatma'. As Devi Sita requested thus, Sarama Rakshasi responded with kindness and had returned back and said: jananyā rākṣasendro vai tvanmokṣārtham bṛhadvacah, aviddhena ca vaidehi mantrivṛddhena bodhitah/ dīyatām abhisatkrtva manujendrāva maithilī, nidaršanam te parvāptam janasthāne vad adbhutam/ langhanam ca samudrasya darśanam ca hanūmatah, vadham ca rakṣasām yuddhe kah kuryān mānuṣo bhuvi/ 'Videha nandini! The precise situation when I have seen Ravana was that a grandmother like figure of Ravana like one of his own ministers was then counselling him release Devi Sita and entrust her to Rama. She advised thus: 'Rakshasa Raja! I strongly feel and advise you to respectfully entrust Devi Sita to Shri Rama. Indeed you are aware of what all happened at the Janasthana where the single handed Rama had exhibited as a an evidenc of his capability. Further Rama's trustworthy Hanuman was able to cross the Maha Sagara, succeeded in Devi Sita darshana, destroyed series of Maha Rakshas Veeras, and such 'maya karaayas'! Is that at all possible for 'maanava maatraas'! evam sa mantrivṛddhaiś ca mātrā ca bahu bhāṣitaḥ, na tvām utsahate moktum artahm arthaparo yathā/ notsahaty amrto moktum yuddhe tvām iti maith, sāmātvasva nrśamsasva niścavo hv esa vartate/ tad esā susthirā buddhir mrtvulobhād upasthitā, bhayān na śaktas tvām moktum anirastas tu samyuge, rākṣasānām ca sarveṣām ātmanaś ca vadhena hi/ In this manner, the respectable old aged 'mantrini' of Ravanasura 'mantri mandali'kept on goading on and on, but like a 'dhana lobhi' of personified being of avarice could never leave a chance, Ravana too is blinded with infatuation. Mithileshakumari! Without being crushed to death Ravana seems to have no compromise as he appears to be bent on yuddhha as mrityu devata is dancing on his arrogant heads. Thus his final decision appears to be his certain death rather than compromise. Hence it is crystal clear that neither fright nor tempation would allow you release as of now. nihatya rāvaṇam samkhye sarvathā niśitaih śaraih, pratinesyati rāmas tvām ayodhyām asitekṣaṇe/ etasminn antare śabdo bherīśankha samākulah, śruto vai sarvasainyānām kampayan dharanītalam/ śrutvā tu tam vānarasainyaśabdam; lankāgatā rāksasarājabhrtyāh, nastaujaso dainyaparītacestāh; śreyo na paśyanti nrpasya dosaih/ Devi Sita! Now the consequence of this ought be that Bhagavan Shri Rama would devastate Ravana and his blinded followers with his arrows and then proceed to Ayodhya along with you for certainty. Now right now 'bheri naada bhishana simhanaada dhwani' from both the sides appears like an earthquake or maha pralaya right here. Just due to the chain of occurings consequent on Ravana's 'arishad vargas' of kaamakrodha-lobha-moha-mada-matsaryas or undue desire-anger- passion-arrogance-and meanmindedness only leading to irrevocable disaster!.

Sarga Thirty Five

<u>Buddhimaan Maalyavaan</u>, on behalf of the Maha Mandali, appealed to 'Sandhi' with the impending attack by Rama citing 'neeti shastra' and especially due to several 'apashakunas' faced by Lankapuri.

Tena śankhavimiśrena bherīśabdena rāghavaḥ, upayato mahābāhū rāmaḥ parapuramjayaḥ/ tam ninādam niśamyātha rāvaṇo rākṣaseśvaraḥ,muhūrtam dhyānam āsthāya sacivān abhyudaikṣata/ atha tān sacivāms tatra sarvān ābhāṣya rāvaṇaḥ, sabhām samnādayan sarvām ity uvāca mahābalaḥ/ taraṇam sāgarasyāpi vikramam balasamcayam, yad uktavanto rāmasya bhavantas tan mayā śrutam, bhavataś cāpy aham vedmi yuddhe satyaparākramān/ tatas tu sumahāprājño mālyavān nāma rākṣasaḥ, rāvaṇasya vacaḥ śrutvā mātuḥ paitāmaho 'bravīt/ vidyāsv abhivinīto yo rājā rājan nayānugaḥ, sa śāsti ciram aiśvaryam arīmś ca kurute vaśe/ samdadhāno hi kālena vigṛhṇamś cāribhiḥ saha, svapakṣavardhanam kurvan mahad aiśvaryam aśnute/ hīyamānena kartavyo rājñā samdhiḥ samena ca, na śatrum avamanyeta jyāyān kurvīta vigraham/ tan mahyam rocate samdhiḥ saha rāmeṇa rāvaṇa, yadartham abhiyuktāḥ sma sītā tasmai pradīyatām/ tasya devarṣayaḥ sarve gandharvāś ca jayaiṣiṇaḥ, virodham mā gamas tena samdhis te tena rocatām/ asṛjad bhagavān pakṣau dvāv eva hi pitāmahaḥ, surāṇām ca dharmā tataāśrayau/ dharmo hi śrūyate pakṣaḥ surāṇām ca mahātmanām, adharmo rakṣasam pakṣo hy asurāṇām ca rāvaṇa/ dharmo vai grasate 'dharmam tataḥ kṛtam abhūd yugam, adharmo grasate dharmam tatas tisyaḥ pravartate/ tat tvayā caratā lokān dharmo vinihato mahān, adharmah

pragrhītas ca tenāsmadbalinah pare/ sa pramādād vivrddhas te 'dharmo 'hir grasate hi nah vivardhayati paksam ca surānām surabhāvanah/ visayesu prasaktena yatkimcitkārinā tvayā, rsīnām agnikalpānām udvego janito mahān, teṣām prabhāvo durdharṣaḥ pradīpta iva pāvakaḥ/ tapasā bhāvitātmāno dharmasyānugrahe ratāḥ, mukhyair yajñair yajanty ete nityam tais tair dvijātayaḥ/ juhvaty agnīms ca vidhivad vedāms coccair adhīyate, abhibhūya ca rakṣāmsi brahmaghoṣān udairayan, diso vipradrutāḥ sarve stanayitnur ivoṣṇage/ ṛṣīṇām agnikalpānām agnihotrasamutthitaḥ, ādatte rakṣasām tejo dhūmo vyāpya diśo daśa/ teṣu teṣu ca deśeṣu puṇyeṣu ca dṛḍhavrataiḥ, caryamāṇam tapas tīvram samtāpayati rākṣasān/ utpātān vividhān dṛṣṭvā ghorān bahuvidhāms tathā, vināśam anupaśyāmi sarveṣām rakṣasām aham/kharābhis tanitā ghorā meghāh pratibhayamkarah, sonitenābhivarsanti lankām usnena sarvataḥ/rudatām vāhanānām ca prapatanty asrabindavaḥ, dhvajā dhvastā vivarṇāś ca na prabhānti yathāpuram/ vyālā gomāyavo grdhrā vāśanti ca subhairavam, pravišya lankām aniśam samavāyāms ca kurvate/ kālikāh pāndurair dantaih prahasanty agratah sthitāh,striyah svapnesu musnantyo grhāni pratibhāşya ca/grhāṇām balikarmāṇi śvānaḥ paryupabhuñjate, kharā goṣu prajāyante mūṣikā nakulaiḥ saha/ mārjārā dvīpibhiḥ sārdham sūkarāḥ śunakaiḥ saha, kimnarā rākṣasaiś cāpi sameyur mānuṣaiḥ saha/ pāndurā raktapādāś ca vihagāh kālacoditāh, rāksasānām vināśāya kapotā vicaranti ca/ cīkī kūcīti vāśantyah śārikā veśmasu sthitāh, patanti grathitāś cāpi nirjitāh kalahaiṣiṇah/ karālo vikaṭo muṇḍaḥ puruṣaḥ kṛṣṇapiṅgalaḥ/ kālo gṛhāṇi sarveṣām kāle kāle 'nvavekṣate, etāny anyāni duṣṭāni nimittāny utpatanti ca/visnum manyāmahe rāmam mānusam deham āsthitam,na hi mānusamātro 'sau rāghavo dṛdhavikramah/ yena baddhah samudrasya sa setuh paramādbhutah, kurusva nararājena samdhim rāmeņa rāvaņa/ idam vacas tatra nigadya mālyavan; parīkṣya rakṣo'dhipater manaḥ punaḥ, anuttameşūttamapauruşo balī; babhūva tūṣṇīm samavekṣya rāvaṇam/

Maha Baahu Shri Rama then sounded his 'shankhaa naada' initiating the attack against Ravana Sena. Then Ravana waited for a minute or two and looked at his 'mantri mandali'. 'I have been hearing with patience about the bala parakrama of Rama Sena for good time now and looking at each other and glancing me sideyas too. Trust you too are satya parakramis too.' As Ravana's 'narmagarbha sandehas' havaning heard, then Maha Buddhiman Malyavan Rakshasa Veera got the cue and replied the King of Asuras: 'Maha Raja! Even a mighty chakravarti who is fully conversant with fourteen vidyas, and the principles of Neeti Shastra is liable to get 'shatruvashaas.'

[Brief Vishneshana on Fourteen Maha Vidyas and Principles of Neeti Shastra

Maha Vidyas: of chatur vedas, four upavedas of Artha shastra of State Craft Economic Policy, dhanur veda, gandhanrva veda of performing arts and ayurveda, besides six vedangas of shiksha of phonetics, kalpa or rituals, vyakarana or grammar, jyotisha or astronomy, nirulta or etomology and chhandas.,

Six 'Neeti Chandrikas' viz. <u>Sandhi-Vigraha-Yaana-Aasana-Dwidhi bhaava-and samaashraya.</u> Sandhi denotes the Principle of Truce, Tolerance and Coexistene. Vigraha refers to conflict of similar forces leading to balance of power. Yaana suggests travel or momement of forces for attaack-aasana or tishtha the waiting period-dwividha of bheda bhaava or break up of friendship by similar forces of the enemies and finally 'samashraya' or the celebrations of victory of togetherness.]

Further Stanzas continued: samdadhāno hi kālena vigṛhṇamś cāribhiḥ saha, svapakṣavardhanam kurvan mahad aiśvaryam aśnute/ hīyamānena kartavyo rājñā samdhiḥ samena ca, na śatrum avamanyeta jyāyān kurvīta vigraham/ tan mahyam rocate samdhiḥ saha rāmeṇa rāvaṇa, yadartham abhiyuktāḥ sma sītā tasmai pradīyatām/Lankeshwara! It is that ideal King who decides at this stage accepts Sandhi and Vigraha at this climactic juncture and retains the balance of mutual powers is known as a successeful King retaining his own glory and prosperity. Once there is a feeling of the remotest hesitation and a fractional doubt perhaps balancing 'shatru bala', than an intelligent King certainly not resort to venture but do please consent to truce. Raja! I am wholly convinced that we accept sandhi with grace and remove the bone of contention and return Devi Sita as a simple solution. tasva devarsayah sarve gandharvāś ca

jayaiṣiṇaḥ, virodham mā gamas tena samdhis te tena rocatām/ asrjad bhagavān pakṣau dvāv eva hi pitāmahaḥ, surāṇām asurāṇām ca dharmādharmau tadāśrayau/ Maha Ravana! Kindly do realise that Deva-Maharshi gana-gandharvas are backing Shri Rama; then why do you like to annoy them all unnecessarily; thus at this critical occasion. We keep often hearing that Brahma the 'sristhi karta' manifested 'suras and asuras' as the holders and upholders of 'dharma and adharma' respectively. dharmo hi śrūyate pakṣaḥ surāṇām ca mahātmanām, adharmo rakṣasam pakṣo hy asurāṇām ca rāvaṇa/ dharmo vai grasate 'dharmam tataḥ krtam abhūd yugam, adharmo grasate dharmam tatas tiṣyaḥ pravartate/ tat tvayā caratā lokān dharmo vinihato mahān, adharmaḥ pragṛhītaś ca tenāsmadbalinaḥ pare/ In the Satya Yuga, dharma was stated to be very strong and adharma was almost negligible and as per the 'kaala maana' yuga dharmas keep gettig diluted futher and futher and as kaliyuga arrives one might even wonder that is dharma any way! King Ravana! Having performed 'bhu bhramana' ot globe trotting, you have had throttled and even vandalised the basics of dharma and thus 'shatru bala' gained momentum/

[Vishleshana on the impact of Kaala maana and the weakening of yuga dharmas: Excerpts from Manu Smirti- and Markandeya, Brahmanada and Bhavishya Puranas:

Brahma's one raatri-divas or night and day comprise of Four Yugas of Krita-Treta-Dwapara-KaliYugas. Krita yuga is of four thousand years reckoned as 360 days for humans and one Deva day; its sandhya or the yuga's terminal period is for 400 years and Sandhyaamsha is an additional 400 years totalling 4800 divine years or 1728000 human years. On similar analysis, Tretaayuga is for 3600 divine years or 1287000 human years; Dwapara yuga is of 2400 divine years or 664000 human years and Kali Yuga divine 1200 years or 432000 human years. The total of Four Yugas is 12000 divine years or 42420000 human years. Deva's one thousand years are accounted for Brahma Deva's single day time and another thousand divine years are of Brahma's one night. Thus Brahma's 'ahoraatra' or day and night comprises of 120,00,000 of divine years or 432,00,00,000 human years. Thus 'after one thousand yugas, Brahma rests for the day and night and then resumes 'punah srishti' or revival of creation process again. (Manu Smriti Achaara Khanda)

As per Divya calculations, the total count of Four Yugas is twelve thousand years, the Satya Yuga comprising four thousand years, Treta Yuga three thousand Divya Years, Dwapara Yuga two thousand years and Kaliyuga of one Divya thousand years; the rest of two thousand years of the twelve thousand Divine Years is accounted for additional four hundred of Divine years of 'Sandhya' and an equivalent period additionaly for 'Sandhyamsha' for Satya Yuga; three hundred years each for these periods in respect of Treta Yuga; two hundred years each of Dwapar Yuga and one hundred years each of Kali Yuga. In Lord Brahma's life span of hundred Divya Years, each day comprises fourteen Manvantaras and each Manvantara consists of one thousand 'Kalpas'. At each change of Manvantara, there is a fresh stock of Indras, Devas, and Sapta Rishis etc. There are seventy one Cycles of Four Yugas in each Manvantar. Viewed from the view point of human years, one Manvantara has three crore sixty six lakh two thousand years; by Divine Years, one Manvantara has one lakh fifty two thousand years. If this Period is multiplied four times, it would then equate Brahma's one day, that is, one million nineteen lakh twenty seven thousand Divya years; or, four twenty nine crores forty lakh (429, 40, 00,000) human years! After each day-night of Brahma, there occurs a 'Naimittika' Pralaya. (Markandeya Purana)

About the Cycle of Time and Kalpas and Manvantaras: 'If Brahma's age is hundred years, a day and night of his is a Kalpa (stated to be 8.67 billion years) comprising 28 Manvantaras; each Manvantara has 71 Maha Yugas and each Maha Yuga has 4.3 million years. (Satya Yuga is stated to be of 40 percent of Maha Yuga, Treta Yuga 30 percent, Dwapara Yuga 20 percent and Kali Yuga is 10 percent) But between each Manvantara, there is stated to be a gap of four yugas called Yuga Sandhi, while the intermediate time between Kalpas is Prati Sandhi. Each Kalpa has two parts: Purvaartha and Parartha. We are now in Varaha Kalpa (there are stated to be of thirty such Kalpaas) and Vaivaswara Manvantara while Brahma's age is calculated as 51 years and the first night! As Brahma spent his thousand Yugas long first night, he

found water all around and resurrected Earth again -and on the broad lines of what Varaha Swarupa indicated- materialised formally the Chatur Lokaas, Sapta Dwipas and Sapta Samudras. He revived the Srishti of Antariksha, Sun, Moon and other Planets, Pitras, Time, Yugas, Purusharthas of Dharma-Artha-Kaama-and Mokshas. From his first face of the 'Chaturmukha', he created Gayatri, Ruks, Yagni related Agni shtoma etc; Veda Vangmaya, Veda Chhandas, and various Agni-Karyas; from his Southern Face were generated Yajur Veda, Traishthub Chhandas; Panchadasa Stomas and Brihat Stoma; from his western face emerged Saama Suktaas, Jagati Chhandas, Papta dasa Stoma; Atiraatra of Jyotishthoma etc; from Brahma's fourth Face emerged Atharva Veda, Anushtub and Vairaaja Chhanda etc. Through out the Yuga Periods, there were countless species of Creation were materialised of 'Charaachara' or mobile and Immobile nature, defying description. (Brahmanda Purana)

Kalki Devi approached Narayana in the form of 'Vamana' who in turn enabled a Brahmana called Kama Sharma and his wife Devahuti on the banks of Yamuna River; he blessed that this couple would give birth to Bhoga Simha and Keli Simha. These two sons would stay in a Kreedavati Nagar and would carry out the wishes of Kali Yuga Devi, especially in the task of wide-spread 'Varna-sankara' or destroying the Rules of 'Varnashrama. Over two thousand years, the established Regulations made by Lord Brahma and the successive Manus would get thinner and thinner and by the Second Paada of Kali Yuga, Kali Devata would be happy to witness that the old Vedic values would be obliterated, that the Daityamaya human beings (fully soaked in Daitya activities) would be of two-and-half feet height, that their life span would be forty years maximum (as against hundred years now) and that they would be free like birds without any 'Karmic regulations! At the end of the Kali's second half there would neither by the institutions of marriages, nor Kingships, nor any social reformer and not even a Karma Karta! The World would be full of the progeny of Bhogi Simha and Keli Simha ane this kind of a situation devoid of customs and social norms woud prevail for one and quarter lakh years!! In the Third Quarter of Kali Yuga, the average age of human beings would be twenty six years maximum; Bhringha Muni along with his wife Saurabhi would create Kaulakalpa-named beings who would not hesitate to eat human beings/kinnaras. These new species of Kaulakalpas would resort to beastly affairs with mothers, sisters and daughters! They would be too sex-blinded and produce too many children and resort to affairs with co-males and animals! In the fourth phase of Kali Yuga the maximum age of humans would not exceed tewnty years and live like water-beasts and animals; hells like Tamistra and worse kinds of frightening Places of Retribution would be over-populated. As Yama Dharma Raja found that the influx of dead Beings was assuming alarming proportions, he and Chitra Gupta approached Indra Deva and later on to Brahma Deva and the latter declared that soon enough there would be an 'Avatar' (Incarnation) of Vishnu Deva as Kalki Deva; he would be fully armed with 'Kahdga' (Long sword) whose reach would be unimaginably long and widespread as also with a 'Kavacha' (Body-Cover) and 'Dhaal' or Protective Shield, mounted on a huge horse, travelling on 'Yoga Marga' for sixteen thousand years and would turn the entire 'Srishti' to ashladen devastation! At that time, there would be a cloud burst producing the Great Annihilation of the Universe under alarming and incessant rain called 'Pralaya'! That would be the fresh 'Srishti'heralding the new cycle of Yugas ab initio!! (Bhavishya Purana)]

Further Stanzas continued:sa pramādād vivrddhas te 'dharmo 'hir grasate hi naḥ vivardhayati pakṣam ca surāṇām surabhāvanaḥ/ viṣayeṣu prasaktena yatkimcitkāriṇā tvayā, ṛṣīṇām agnikalpānām udvego janito mahān, teṣām prabhāvo durdharṣaḥ pradīpta iva pāvakaḥ/ tapasā bhāvitātmāno dharmasyānugrahe ratāḥ, mukhyair yajānir yajanty ete nityam tais tair dvijātayaḥ/ King Ravanasura! Your misdemeanor appears to have emerged and provoked the 'adharma swarupi ajagara' or python and is getting readied to hit the Lanka Saamrajya as that is truly brought up on the heaps of Dharma and as such the latter is a provoked to devastate adharma thus the sensitive balance is jolted to swing back to dharma and nyaaya. As you are deeply entrenched in 'vishaya vaancchas' and are performing disappoved 'karmas', you may have to reap as you sow most invitably. Thus the maha tejasvi maha munis with antahkarana shuddhhi keep performing 'niratanra yagjna karyas once provoked could subject you to their 'agni jwaalaas'now unless you retrace your steps. teshu tesu ca deśesu punyesu ca drdhavrataih.

caryamānam tapas tīvram samtāpayati rāksasān/ utpātān vividhān drstvā ghorān bahuvidhāms tathā, vināśam anupaśyāmi sarvesām raksasām aham/ You are well aware that in various kingdoms on earth, Maharshis who are normally engaged in tapsya and yagina kaaryaas always frighten away even by their inherent powers of could burn down raaksasaas even by their angry looks even. Devadaanavayakshebhoy gruheetascha varssvaya,manushyaa vaanaraa riksha golaangulaa mahaa balaah, balkavantam ihaagamya garjanti dhridha vikramaah// More over you had secured Brahma's boons to be invincible against deva-daavava-gandharvaadi celestials only and ignored mere 'maanavas', vaanaraas, rikshaas, and golaangulas; these species of srishti are now proving a huge threat to you very existence and that of all your rakshasa sena to pieces! utpātān vividhān drstvā ghorān bahuvidhāms tathā, vināśam anupaśyāmi sarvesām raksasām aham/ kharābhis tanitā ghorā meghāh pratibhayamkarah, śonitenābhivarsanti lankām usnena sarvatah/rudatām vāhanānām ca prapatanty asrabindavah, dhvajā dhvastā vivarnās ca na prabhānti yathāpuram/ Now, King Ravana! Right now I am experiencing countless 'apashakunas', 'utpaadaas' and evil omens: 'Ghora bhayankara meghas' are roaring with 'garjana tarjanas' with showers of hot blood. Horses, elephants are obstructing the high roads and the chariots attached are otherwise as they are getting affected with blindness as a consequence of the rains of blood. vyālā gomāyavo grdhrā vāśanti ca subhairavam, praviśya lankām aniśam samavāyāms ca kurvate/ kālikāh pāṇḍurair dantaih prahasanty agratah sthitāh, striyah svapneşu muşnantyo grhāni pratibhāşya ca/ grhānām balikarmāni śvānah paryupabhuñjate, kharā gosu prajāyante mūsikā nakulaih saha/ Maamsa bhakshi animals, owls, kites, and so on are entering in upavanas of Lanka puri and entering with scare in groups. In their bad dreams the rakshasa rakshasis resting in deep sleep are witnessing bhayankara swapnas of ghosts with long and peircing damshtras. Then some of the house holders are performinbg bali karmas with veneration, the 'bali saamagri' especially the 'bali bhakshyas' are attacked by fierce looking dogs. From the groups of cows yielding excellent milk pots are emerging big size mice and swarms of mosquitos. mārjārā dvīpibhih sārdham sūkarāh śunakaih saha, kimnarā rāksasaiś cāpi sameyur mānusaih saha/pāndurā raktapādāś ca vihagāh kālacoditāh, rāksasānām vināśāya kapotā vicaranti ca/ cīkī kūcīti vāśantyaḥ śārikā veśmasu sthitāḥ, patanti grathitāś cāpi nirjitāḥ kalahaiṣiṇaḥ/ karālo vikaṭo muṇḍaḥ purusah kṛṣṇapingalah/ Resounding weapings with severe body pains or death calamities from neighbourhood are being constatly heard. As if provoked by devils swarms of doves are entenring into the halls of residences of the householders as a warning of an impending doom. Pakshi- mrigas looking at Surya on the high skies are crying with screaming screeches. Vikaraaka-vikata-kaala devata in human form appears to beckon house holders too often. As such death facing destructive 'ashubha shakunasa' are being encountred, Maha Raja, Lanka pura vaasis are right being rattled with fright, right now. . visnum manyāmahe rāmam mānusam deham āsthitam,na hi mānusamātro 'sau rāghavo drdhavikramah' yena baddhah samudrasya sa setuh paramādbhutah, kurusva nararājena samdhim rāmena rāvana/idam vacas tatra nigadya mālyavan; parīkṣya rakṣo'dhipater manaḥ punaḥ, anuttameṣūttamapauruṣo balī; babhūva tūṣṇīm samavekṣya rāvaṇam/ Even as such evil omens are being faced, I strongly feel that Shri Rama is about to attack as all as though Maha Vishnu in his human form is encountering Lamkeshwara! Please very kindly allow not this catastrophe to face all of us in Lankapuri. We seek to fall at you feet to agree to Sandhi.' Thus the Mantri Mandali looked at Ravana with hope and possible approval. Ravana then kept on and on into deep thoughts with his head down with deep introspection. .

Sarga Thirty Six

Even after Malyaavan Mantri demanded for Sandhi, citing several apashakunas experienced by the Lanka public, Ravana reasserting his firm stand and merely instructed for tightening security and walked off!

Tat tu mālyavato vākyam hitam uktam daśānanaḥ, na marṣayati duṣṭātmā kālasya vaśam āgataḥ/ sa baddhvā bhrukuṭim vaktre krodhasya vaśam āgataḥ, amarṣāt parivṛttākṣo mālyavantam athābravīt/ hitabuddhyā yad ahitam vacaḥ paruṣam ucyate, parapakṣam praviśyaiva naitac chrotragatam mama/ mānuṣam kṛpaṇam rāmam ekam śākhāmṛgāśrayam, samartham manyase kena tyaktam pitrā vanālayam/ raksasām īśvaram mām ca devatānām bhayamkaram, hīnam mām manyase kena ahīnam saryayikramaih/

vīradvesena vā śanke paksapātena vā ripoh, tvayāham parusāny uktah paraprotsāhanena vā/ prabhavantam padastham hi parusam ko 'hbidhāsyati, panditah śāstratattvajño vinā protsāhanād ripoh/ ānīya ca vanāt sītām padmahīnām iva śriyam, kimartham pratidāsyāmi rāghavasya bhayād aham/ vṛtam vānarakotībhih sasugrīvam salaksmanam, pasya kais cid ahobhis tvam rāghavam nihatam mayā/ dvandve vasva na tisthanti daivatāny api samvuge, sa kasmād rāvano vuddhe bhavam āhāravisvati/ dvidhā bhajyeyam apy evam na nameyam tu kasya cit, eşa me sahajo doşah svabhāvo duratikramah/ yadi tāvat samudre tu setur baddho yadrcchayā, rāmeṇa vismayaḥ ko 'tra yena te bhayam āgatam/ sa tu tīrtvārṇavam rāmaḥ saha vānarasenayā, pratijānāmi te satyam na jīvan pratiyāsyati/ evam bruvānam samrabdham rustam vijnāya rāvanam, vrīdito mālyavān vākyam nottaram pratyapadyata/ jayāśisā ca rājānam vardhayitvā yathocitam, mālyavān abhyanujñāto jagāma svam niveśanam/rāvanas tu sahāmātyo mantrayitvā vimršya ca, lankāyām atulām guptim kārayām āsa rāksasah/ vyādideśa ca pūrvasyām prahastam dvāri rāksasam, daksinasyām mahāvīryau mahāpārśva mahodarau/ paścimāyām atho dvāri putram indrajitam tathā, vyādideśa mahāmāyam rākṣasair bahubhir vṛtam/ uttarasyām puradvāri vyādiśya śukasāraṇau, svayam cātra bhaviṣyāmi mantriṇas tān uvāca ha/ rākṣasam tu virūpākṣam mahāvīryaparākramam,madhyame 'sthāpayad gulme bahubhih saha rāksasaih/ evamvidhānam lankāvām kṛtvā rākṣasapumgavaḥ, mene kṛtārtham ātmānam kṛtāntavaśam āgataḥ/ visarjayām āsa tataḥ sa mantriņo; vidhānam ājñāpya purasya puşkalam, jayāśiṣā mantragaņena pūjito; viveśa so 'ntaḥpuram rddhiman mahat/

As Malyavan Rakshasa Mantri of Ravana emboldened himself to advise him for 'Sandhi' at once especially citing innumerable 'apashakunas' being experienced by the public of Lankapuri, Rakshasa Raja replied was non reactory to the appeals and addressed Malyavan: 'what ever you have so far blabbered as though stated on behalf the shatru paksha had not reached my ears. The helpless Rama being a mere maanava has since taken the support of a monkey brigade with their chanchala buddhi and pranks. He had obeyed his father's instructions and wearing jungle worthy dressese; what great idealism that is inferred by a 'saamarddhya shaali paraakrami'! Do I have to refresh you memory that the totality of 'deva samuuha' was brought down to their knees to feet and still you tend to underestimate my capacity and exaggerate his accidental killings of my followers. You had been uttrering jabbering on and on out of your stupidy most unbecoming Rakshasa Veera even having been elevated to ministership thanks to my selection which is now being regretted. Very transparently clear that you have become a victim of the turncoats of the 'shatruvarga'. ānīva ca vanāt sītām padmahīnām iva śriyam, kimartham pratidāsyāmi rāghavasya bhayād aham/ vrtam vānarakotībhih sasugrīvam salaksmanam, pasya kais cid ahobhis tvam rāghavam nihatam mayā/ dvandve yasya na tisthanti daivatāny api samyuge, sa kasmād rāvano yuddhe bhayam āhārayisyati/As divya sudari Sita now being a listless and dried up lotus now, having been brought all the way from 'dandakaaranya's rakshasa janasthaana' under my personal protection, how indeed be returned away simply by the attacks of a couple of maanavaas and of chanchala buddhi hooligans of vaanaras! Does it not sound absurd! Let me assure you that even crores of vanaras and a couple of accidental heros of battle should be comfortably smashd down in a few days. This Rayana who was proven invincible in 'dvanda yudhha' even by countless Devas could now be asked to surrender in 'sandhi' as a compromise! I could never ever bend my head and heels and this be well realised as my nature and final decision. Yadiuratikrama yadi tāvat samudre tu setur baddho yadrcchayā, rāmena vismayah ko'tra yena te bhayam āgatam/ sa tu tīrtvārnavam rāmah saha vānarasenayā, pratijānāmi te satyam na jīvan prativāsyati/ What if that Rama were able to build a bridge as a 'deva vasha kaarya' and has attacked Lankapuri as you mantris are feeling concerned about! But could Rama return alive, I wonder!' Thus Ravana screamed at Malyavan and other mantris as they bent their heads down. Then instructions were issued to further tighten orderliness and safety of Lankapuri and left the 'sabha' in a huff and puff in a sulky temperament.

Sarga Thirty Seven

<u>Vibhishana in a 'pakshi rupa' quickly witnessed the details of Ravana Sena at the four dwaaras of Lanka</u> and its center, then Shri Rama indicates the formation of his own Sena accordingly.

Naravānararājau tau sa ca vāyusutah kapih, jāmbavān ṛkṣarājaś ca rākṣasaś ca vibhīṣaṇah/ angado vāliputras ca saumitrih sarabhah kapih, susenah sahadāvādo maindo dvivida eva ca/ gajo gavākso kumudo nalo 'tha panasas tathā, amitraviṣayam prāptāḥ samavetāḥ samarthayan/ iyam sā lakṣyate lankā purī rāvaṇapālitā, sāsuroragagandharvair amarair api durjayā/kāryasiddhim puraskṛtya mantrayadhyam vinirnaye, nityam samnihito hy atra rāyano rāksasādhipah/ tathā tesu bruyānesu rāvanāvarajo 'bravīt, vākyam agrāmyapadavat puskalārtham vibhīsanah/ analah śarabhaś caiva sampātih praghasas tathā, gatvā lankām mamāmātyāh purīm punar ihāgatāh/ bhūtvā śakunayah sarve pravistāś ca ripor balam, vidhānam vihitam yac ca tad dṛṣtvā samupasthitāh/ samvidhānam yathāhus te rāvanasya durātmanah, rāma tad bruvatah sarvam yathātathyena me śrnu/ pūrvam prahastah sabalo dvāram āsādya tisthati, daksiņam ca mahāvīryau mahāpārśvamahodarau/ indrajit paścimadvāram rāksasair bahubhir vrtah, pattasāsidhanusmadbhih śūlamudgarapānibhih/ nānāpraharanaih śūrair āvrto rāvanātmajah, rāksasānām sahasrais tu bahubhih śastrapānibhih/ vuktah paramasamvigno rāksasair bahubhir vṛtaḥ, uttaram nagaradvāram rāvaṇaḥ svayam āsthitaḥ/ virūpākṣas tu mahatā śūlakhaḍga dhanuşmatā, balena rākṣasaiḥ sārdham madhyamam gulmam āsthitaḥ/ etān evamvidhān gulmāml lankāyām samudīksya te, māmakāh sacivāh sarve śīghram punar ihāgatāh/ gajānām ca sahasram ca rathānām ayutam pure, hayānām ayute dve ca sāgrakotī ca raksasām/ vikrāntā balavantas ca samyugesv ātatāyinah, işṭā rākṣasarājasya nityam ete niśācarāh/ ekaikasyātra yuddhārthe rākṣasasya viśām pate, parivārah sahasrāṇām sahasram upatiṣṭhate/ etām pravṛttim lankāyām mantriproktam vibhīṣaṇah, rāmam kamalapatrākṣam idam uttaram abravīt/ kuberam tu yadā rāma rāvaṇaḥ pratyayudhyata, ṣaṣṭiḥ śatasahasrāni tadā nirvānti rāksasāh/ parākramena vīryena tejasā sattvagauravāt, sadrśā yo 'tra darpena rāvanasya durātmanah/ atra manyur na kartavyo rosaye tvām na bhīsaye, samartho hy asi vīryena surānām api nigrahe/ tad bhavāms caturangena balena mahatā vṛtah, vyūhyedam vānarānīkam nirmathisyasi rāvanam/ rāvanāvaraje vākyam evam bruvati rāghavah, śatrūnām pratighātārtham idam vacanam abravīt/ pūrvadvāre tu lankāyā nīlo vānarapumgavaḥ, prahastam pratiyoddhā syād vānarair bahubhir vrtah/ angado vāliputras tu balena mahatā vrtah, daksine bādhatām dvāre mahāpārśva mahodarau/ hanūmān paścimadvāram nipīdya pavanātmajah, pravišaty apramevātmā bahubhih kapibhir vṛtaḥ/ daityadānavasamghānām ṛṣīṇām ca mahātmanām, viprakārapriyaḥ kṣudro varadānabalānvitaḥ/ parikrāmati yah sarvāmt lokān samtāpayan prajāh, tasyāham rāksasendrasya svayam eva vadhe dhrtah/ uttaram nagaradvāram aham saumitrinā saha, nipīdyābhipraveksyāmi sabalo yatra rāvanah/ vānarendras ca balavān rksarājas ca jāmbavān, rāksasendrānujas caiva gulme bhavatu madhvame/ na caiva mānusam rūpam kāryam haribhir āhave, esā bhavatu nah samijnā yuddhe 'smin vānare bale/ vānarā eva niścihnam svajane 'smin bhavişyati, vayam tu mānuşenaiva sapta yotsyāmahe parān/ aham eva saha bhrātrā lakṣmaṇena mahaujasā, ātmanā pañcamaś cāyam sakhā mama vibhīṣaṇaḥ/ sa rāmaḥ kāryasiddhyartham evam uktvā vibhīṣaṇam, suvelārohaṇe buddhim cakāra matimān matim/ tatas tu rāmo mahatā balena; pracchādya sarvām prthivīm mahātmā, prahrstarūpo 'bhijagāma lankām; krtvā matim so 'rivadhe mahātmā/

Meanwhile, Shri Rama with Lakshmana behind, convened a 'sabha' with Vaanara Raja Sugriva, Vayu Putra Hanuman, Riksha Raja Jambavan, Vaali Putra Angada, Sharbha, Sushena withhis bandhu mitras, Mainda, Dvivida, Gaja, Gavaaksha, Kumuda, Nala, Panasa adi Vaanrara Yoddhaas. Then the general point of view as expressed in the 'sabha' was that no doubt, Lankapuri was impregnable even by asuranaga-gadharva- deva pramukhas. Now mutual suggestions should be welcomed! Then Ravana bhrta Vibhishana expained thoughtfully: Vanara Mantris especially Anala, Panasa, Sapmtati and Pramati have gone around Lankapuri and since returned. They assumed the 'pakshi swarupas' and witnessed the preperations at the moment. Shri Rama! Let me now explain to you now. Senapati Prahasta is at purva dwaara, Maha paarshva and Mahodara are dakshina dwaara, Indrajit the Ravana Putra backed my a massive Rakshasa veeraas as well equipped with pattisha-khadga-dhanush-shula-mudgaraadi asrtr shastras at western dwaara and Ravana himself along with Shuka, Saarana aadi sahasra shatradhaari maha

rakshasaas with anger and ever readiness is at the northern dwaara. Now in the central place of Lanka Nagara therr is very massive Rakshasa Veeras headed by Virupaakshaall of them being well equipped with shula-dhaga-dhanushas. In this manner Ravana Sena was seen by me hurriedly at the placement as detailed. In the Ravana Sena, there are ten thousand strong diggajas, as maby chariots, twenty thousand horses and a crore plus foot soldiers. Shri Rama! Behind each of these incharge Raksasa Veeras as were mentioned as the dwaara palakas as mentioned, threre is a strong back up of ten lakh rakshasa yoddhhas as their back up each!' As Vibhishna detailed thus, he informed of the strengh, valour and ever preparedness of the shatru sena of Maha Rakshasis. He further added: When Ravana encounterd Kubera his first cousin the he took along with him some sixty lakh raksasaveeraas along with him all of whom were ready to give up their lives. Now I suggest that it is high time that our Vanara Maha Veeras too are suilably compartmentalised as in differed 'vyuhaas' so that the chaturanga senaas too and work and dedicate themselves for the single and supreme of Raavana Vinaashana.' Then on hearing what all Vibhishana had said and suggested, Shri Rama stated that kapishreshtha Neela should encounter Prahasta with his vaanara sreshthas, Angada to attack Mahapaarshva and Mahodara at the dakshina dwaara, Payana Kumara Hanuman at the paschima dwaara, and along with Lakshmana he himself face Rayana with his maha rakshasa veeras. Then Vanara Raja Sugriva and balavaan riksha raja Jambavan should straight on attack the strong hold central rakshasa maha yoddhas along with their own vanara heros. Further Vaanara Bhallukas should not take to human forms. Only myself, Lakshmana, and Vishishana along with his ministers would only be the human forms totalling seven only. Then the totality of Shri Rama Sena reached the 'Suvela Parvata tata praanta' with the unique, singular and most decisive praparedness of Rama Karva Siddhi.

Sargas Thirty Eight and Thirty Nine

a) Shri Rama along Lakshmana and followeres ascended the Suvela Parvata Shihkhara, well known for dhaatu Sampada. b) The pituresque overview espescially impressed Vanara Veeras who assumed various forms to wander in Lankapuri while Rama and followers too were overawed at its magnificence.

Sa tu kṛtvā suvelasya matim ārohanam prati, lakṣmaṇānugato rāmaḥ sugrīvam idam abravīt/ vibhīṣaṇam ca dharmajñam anuraktam niśācaram, mantrajñam ca vidhijñam ca ślakṣṇayā parayā girā/ suvelam sādhu śailendram imam dhātuśataiś citam, adhyārohāmahe sarve vatsyāmo 'tra niśām imām/ lankām cālokavisyāmo nilayam tasya raksasah, yena me maranāntāya hrtā bhāryā durātmanā/ yena dharmo na vijñāto na vrttam na kulam tathā, rāksasyā nīcayā buddhyā yena tad garhitam krtam/ yasmin me vardhate rosah kīrtite rāksasādhame, yasyāparādhān nīcasya vadham draksyāmi raksasām/ eko hi kurute pāpam kālapāśavaśam gataḥ, nīcenātmāpacāreṇa kulam tena vinaśyati/ evam sammantrayann eva sakrodho rāvaṇam prati, rāmaḥ suvelam vāsāya citrasānum upāruhat/ pṛṣṭhato lakṣmaṇa cainam anvagacchat samāhitah, saśaram cāpam udyamya sumahad vikrame ratah/ tam anvarohat sugrīvah sāmātyah savibhīsanah, hanūmān angado nīlo maindo dvivida eva ca/gajo gavākso gavavah śarabho gandhamādanah, panasah kumudaś caiva haro rambhaś ca yūthapah/ ete cānye ca bahavo vānarāh śīghragāminaḥ, te vāyuvegapravaṇās tam girim giricāriṇaḥ, adhyārohanta śataśaḥ suvelam yatra rāghavah/ te tv adīrghena kālena girim āruhva sarvatah, dadršuh šikhare tasva visaktām iva khe purīm/ tām śubhām pravaradvārām prākāravaraśobhitām, lankām rāksasasampūrnām dadṛśur hariyūthapāh/ prākāracayasamsthaiś ca tathā nīlair niśācaraih, dadršus te hariśresthāh prākāram aparam kṛtam/ te dṛṣṭvā vānarāḥ sarve rākṣasān yuddhakāṅkṣiṇaḥ, mumucur vipulān nādāṁs tatra rāmasya paśyataḥ/ tato 'stam agamat sūryaḥ saṃdhyayā pratirañjitaḥ, pūrṇacandrapradīpā ca kṣapā samabhivartate/ tataḥ sa rāmo harivāhinīpatir; vibhīṣaṇena pratinandya satkṛtaḥ, salakṣmaṇo yūthapayūthasamvṛtaḥ; suvela pṛsthe nyavasad yathāsukham/

As Shri Rama decided to rest for the night before the 'maha sangraama' of 'Rama - Ravanas' at the foothills of Suvela Parvata with great enthusiasm, excitement and decisiveness, the Maha Rama Sena moved off. Then Shri Rama addressed the dharma inaata-mantra vetta, vidhijna, Rama Priya Vibhishana

as also his colleagues: 'comrades! Parvata Raja Suvela is replete with thousands 'dhhatus' or mineral deposits such as sodium, potassium, magnesium, calcium, radium, titanium, nickle, and silver. Let us therefore ascend the Suvela and rest for the night. We may also have an overview of Lankapuri in the glitter of the night. We may also oversee the Rakshasa nivaasa bhuta Lankapuri and even identify the devilish duraatma Ranasaasura's residential palace where my dearmost Sitaapaharana had been commttted awaiting his certain mrityu. That Rakshasaadhama is neither knows therudiments of dharma and nyaaya, nor of Kula vichaara, and had since prepatrared his meanest and disgusting psychology typical of cruelty, utter selfishness and mean narrowmindedness. I am right now bent on destroying him and uprooting his blind followers. eko hi kurute pāpam kālapāśavaśam gatah, nīcenātmāpacārena kulam tena vinaśyati/ evam sammantrayann eva sakrodho rāvanam prati, rāmah suvelam vāsāya citrasānum upāruhat/ Most decisively, 'kaala paasha' gets tightenend around his 'dasha mukhas' and even uproot the Ravana's followeres too.' So stating vengefully Shri Rama ascended the Parvata Shikhira, closely followed by Lakshmana Prabhu with their mighty 'dhanush baanaas'. Then so did Sugriva, Mantri sahita Vibhishana, Hanuman, Angada, Neela, Mainda-Dvividas, Gaja, Gayaksha, Gayaya, Sharabha, Gandhamaadana, Panasa, Kumuda, Hara, Yuthapati Rambha, Jambayan, Sushena, Mahamati Rishabha, maha tejasvi Durmukha, and Kapivara Shatabali with their respective Vanara Maha Senas. Then they all got dispersed and started staring at Lankapuri and its glitter in darkness while shouting and hooting simhanaadaas, even as Rama Lakshmana Sugriva Vibhishanas were noticing too at leisure and restfulness.

Sarga Thirty Nine continued:

Tām rātrim uşitās tatra suvele haripumgavāḥ, lankāyām dadṛśur vīrā vanāny upavanāni ca/ Saumyāni ramyāni viśālāny āyatāni ca, drstiramyāni te drstvā babhūvur jātavismayāh/ campakāśokapumnāga sālatālasamākulā, tamālavanasamchannā nāgamālāsamāvṛtā/ hintālair arjunair nīpaih saptaparnais ca puspitaih, tilakaih karnikāraiś ca patālaiś ca samantatah/ śuśubhe puspitāgraiś ca latāparigatair drumaiḥ, laṅkā bahuvidhair divyair yathendrasyāmarāvatī/ vicitrakusumopetai raktakomalapallavaiḥ, śādvalaiś ca tathā nīlaiś citrābhir vanarājibhih/ gandhādhyāny abhiramyāni puspāni ca phalāni ca, dhārayanty agamās tatra bhūsanānīva mānavāh/tac caitrarathasamkāsam manojñam nandanopamam, vanam sarvartukam ramyam śuśubhe satpadāyutam/ natyūhakoyastibhakair nrtyamānaiś ca barhibhih, rutam parabhrtānām ca śuśruve vananirjhare/ nityamattavihamgāni bhramarācaritāni ca, kokilākula sandāni vihagābhirutāni ca/bhrngarājābhigītāni bhramaraih sevitāni ca, konālakavighustāni sārasābhirutāni ca/ viviśus te tatas tāni vanāny upavanāni ca, hrstāh pramuditā vīrā harayah kāmarūpinah/ tesām praviśatām tatra vānarānām mahaujasām, puspasamsargasurabhir vavau ghrāṇasukho 'nilaḥ/ anye tu harivīrāṇām yūthān niṣkramya yūthapāḥ, sugrīveṇābhyanujñātā lankām jagmuh patākinīm/ vitrāsayanto vihagāms trāsayanto mṛgadvipān, kampayantaś ca tām lankām nādaih svair nadatām varāh/kurvantas te mahāvegā mahīm cāraṇapīditām, rajas ca sahasaivordhvam jagāma caranoddhatam/ rksāh simhā varāhāś ca mahisā vāranā mrgāh, tena śabdena vitrastā jagmur bhītā diśo daśa/ śikharam tu trikūţasya prāmśu caikam divispṛśam, samantāt puṣpasamchannam mahārajata samnibham/ śatayojanavistīrṇam vimalam cārudarśanam, ślakṣṇam śrīman mahac caiva duṣprāpam śakunair api/ manasāpi durāroham kim punah karmanā janaih, nivistā tatra śikhare lankā rāvanapālitā/ sā purī gopurair uccaih pāndurāmbudasamnibhaih, kāncanena ca sālena rājatena ca sobhitā/ prāsādais ca vimānais ca lankā paramabhūsitā, ghanair ivātapāpāye madhyamam vaisnavam padam/ yasyām stambhasahasrena prāsādah samalamkrtah, kailāsaśikharākāro drsvate kham ivollikhan/ caityah sa rākṣasendrasya babhūva purabhūṣaṇam, śatena rakṣasām nityam yaḥ samagreṇa rakṣyate/ tām samṛddhām samṛddhārtho lakṣmīvāmil lakṣmaṇāgrajaḥ rāvaṇasya purīm rāmo dadarśa saha vānaraiḥ/ tām ratnapūrņām bahusamvidhānām; prāsādamālābhir alamkrtām ca, purīm mahāyantrakavāta mukhyām; dadarśa rāmo mahatā balena/

Vaanara Veeras were immensely delighted and even got excited at the prakriti soundarya atop Suvela prarvata shikhara especially the abundance of maha vrishkas of champa, ashoka, vakula,shaala,taala,

tamaala, naaga kesaris, quite apart from the overview Lankapuris vriksha sampha of hintala, arjuna, neepa, and the chhitavana, tilaka, kanera, paatalaadi maha vrikshas like that of Indra's Amaraavati. The Chaitraratha, Nandana vana samaana mamohara vanaas of Lankapuri shobha what with all the 'shad ritus' and the 'bhramara vyaapta ramaneeya shobha' was mind blowing to the vaanara sena. All the Vaanaras who could assume their own rupas like honey bees, or deers or swans or whatever having secured 'Sugriva aagjna' hurried down to Lankapuri 'udyaana vanaas and jalaashayas'. The rest of Vanara Veeraas continued the simha naadas as the Lankapuri pashu sampada, especially the local vaanaras, bhallukas, simha shardulas, elephants and horses, and pakshis especially mayura, hamsa and so on were frightened to their core. Now, the adjacent Trikuta Parvata Shikhara is very widespread with some hundred yojanas as if it touches swarga dwaara. None indeed ever possibly ascend the shikhara. In the Lankapuri proper were situated the Chiatya praasada was the jewel of Lankaapuri. tām samrddhām samṛddhārtho laksmīvāmt laksmanāgrajah, rāvanasya purīm rāmo dadarśa saha vānaraih/ tām ratnapūrņām bahusamvidhānām; prāsādamālābhir alamkrtām ca, purīm mahāyantrakavāṭa -mukhyām; dadarśa rāmo mahatā balena/ Shri Rama and Lakshmana along with Vaanara Veeras then stared at the 'dhanadhaanya samriddhi yukta Lankapuri'. The City was replete with swarga tulya mansions and 'rahadaaris' as Rama and followers were truly awe stricken!

Sarga Forty

<u>Suddenly Sugriva spotted Ravana at his residential roof, was unabe to contol his anger jumped down</u> challenging him for 'malla yuddha'- as Ravana felt that Sugriva was too good and disappeared.

Vanara King Sugriva was casually looking down at Lankapuri even as Rama Lakshmanas too were getting impressed with its sumptuousness and affluence, Sugriva suddenly looked at the roof of Ravana at his palace seated comforably under his vijaya chhatra with his body was smeared with rakta chandana and ornamented with red coloured 'aabhushanas'. Krodhavegena samyuktah satvena cha balena cha, achalaagraadathoyatyaaya pupluve goparasthale/ Sthitvaa muhurtam samprakshya nirbayenantaraat -, maana trineekritya c tad rakshah sobrayet parusham yachah/ Lokanaathasya Raamasya sakhaa daasosmi Rakshasa, na mayaa mokshsedya tyam paarthiyendrasya tejasaa/ On seeing Rayana thus, Sugriva was unable to resist the temptation and extreme anger of seeing the Mahasura and suddenly jumped down from the Suvela Parvata shikhira and the gopura on the roof where Ravana was seated. He kept on staring the Dasha Mukha for a while and with 'nirbhaya chitta' and shouted at him as follows: ' Rakshasa! I am a close associate and admirer of Lokanaadha Bhagavan Shri Rama. Now, with all my body might you can never get my from my grip. Having thus jumped up high and kicked Ravana he attacked him. Then having realised that this was Sugriva the King of Vaanara Bhallukas, Ravana replied: 'Arre, so far you have not seen me, you have remained as Sugriva now do realise that your 'griva' or the neck is soon to disappear!' Having asserted thus, Ravana lifted up Sugriva and kicked him off the roof with might. Then Vaanara Raja Sugriva pulled the Dashakantha and lifted his body high on his broad shoulders and threw of Rayana's body to the same roof top under whicha Rayana was seated on a swing. Parasparam swedavidigha gaatrou parasparam shonita rakta dehou, parasparam shilashthininiridva cheshtou, parsaparan shalmalikimshukaaviva/ Then both Sugriva and Ravana kicked up each other high and higher as flows of sweat and blood in their mutual attacks as though they wer like two maha palaasa vrikshas. Bith the Rakshasa Raja and the Vaanara Rajas were of gigantic maha parakramis and were engaged in mutual fist fights, heavy and resounding slappings, and panja yuddha. This the 'malla yuddha' with heavy speed, mutual kickings. Paraspara aalingnas or severe embrace- releases frequently reciprocatively and forceful hurlings to the floor and roof looked interminable. Both Sugriva and Ravana were adepts in marial arts especially in the 'malla yuddha kala' were displaying mutual huggings and releases, 'paribhramanas' or rounded encirlings, 'baahu paashaas' and well timed jumpovers and kicks. 'simha naadaas' or resounding shoutings with krodha, malla yuddha abhyasa, with damshra - hastajangha- uru peedana- paada peedana and so on. Both Sugriva and Ravana were then like two Madonmatta Maha Gajas were thus encountering for long with speed, alacrity, and untiring energy. Mandalaani

vichitraani sthaanaani vividhaanicha, gomutrakaani chitraani gatapratrygataanicha/ Both Sugriva and Ravana being outstanding experts of 'malla yuddha' were this jumping forward and backward with velocity and acceleration and of kicks and starts and mutual encirlings, displaying 'vichitra mandalas' and 'sthaana pradarshanas' in the pattern of 'go mutra rekha samaana kutila gati' or like the flows of cow's urine pattern of forward and backward directions a there both get seldom tired with equal force and thrust!

[Vishleshana on 'Malla Yuddha Chatur Mandala Prakaara and Shashtha Sthaana Vivarana' by Bharata Muni.

Chatur Mandala: 1.Chaari Madala 2.Karana Mandala 3.Khanda Mandala and 4. Maha Mandala. The features of the Madalas respectively are jumping forward with a single foot self pradakshima and kick the opponent- self pradakshina by both the feet and kick the opponent- 'vividha pradakshina' and kick-and fourthly the Maha Mandala with aneka pradakshna.

Shashtha Sthaana: Vaishnava-Sama Paada-Vaishakha-Mandala-Pratyaalodha- Anaalodha or foot movements before the impending kicks as per placements of the foot steps forward or back ward before the start of kicks as of lions, tigers, bhallukas or leopards].

Futher stanzas as follows:

Then suddenly realising that Sugriva was an equal force in the art of malla yuddha, Ravana with his maha shakti and flew up the high skies. Sugriva followed suit by jumping higher and higher. Vaanara Raja then spotted flashes of Ravana no doubt but as the latter kept on dodging Sugriva since Ravana was looking rather tired, and as such reached back to his Vanara sena which was surrounded by Shri Rama. *Iti sa Savitrusoonutastra tat karma kritvaa pananagatiraneekam praavishat samhrishthah, Raghuvaranripa soonorvardhayan yudha harsha tarumrigaganaabhi mukhaih pujya maano Hareendrah*/Thus having the contentment of his memorable feat of alerting a lion like Ravana in his own den had reached with vayuvega the Suryaputra Sugriva with alacrity and entusiasm rejoined Shri Rama as was surrounded by Vanara stalvarts.

Sarga Forty One

As Rama chided Sugriva's undesirable malla yuddha, yet with safe rurtrn, 'Maha Rama Sena' marches for gate wise attack- Rama despatches Angada to reach Ravana with an ultimatum of Ravana's doom.

Atha tasmin nimittāni dṛṣṭvā lakṣmaṇapūrvajaḥ, lakṣmaṇam lakṣmisampannam idam vacanam abravīt/
parigṛhyodakam śītam vanāni phalavanti ca, balaugham samvibhajyemam vyūhya tiṣṭhema lakṣmaṇa/
lokakṣayakaram bhīmam bhayam paśyāmy upasthitam, nibarhaṇam pravīrāṇām ṛkṣavānararakṣasām/
vātāś ca paruṣam vānti kampate ca vasumdharā, parvatāgrāṇi vepante patanti dharaṇīdharāḥ/ meghāḥ
kravyādasamkāśāḥ paruṣāḥ paruṣasvanāḥ, krūrāḥ krūram pravarṣanti miśram śoṇitabindubhiḥ/
raktacandanasamkāśā samdhyāparamadāruṇā, jvalac ca nipataty etad ādityād agnimaṇḍalam/ ādityam
abhivāśyante janayanto mahad bhayam, dīnā dīnasvarā ghorā apraśastā mṛgadvijāḥ/ rajanyām
aprakāśaś ca samtāpayati candramāḥ, kṛṣṇaraktāmśuparyanto yathā lokasya samkṣaye/hrasvo rūkṣo
'praśastaś ca pariveṣaḥ sulohitaḥ, ādityamaṇḍale nīlam lakṣma lakṣmaṇa dṛśyate/ dṛśyante na yathāvac
ca nakṣatrāṇy abhivartate, yugāntam iva lokasya paśya lakṣmaṇa śamsati/ kākāḥ śyenās tathā gṛdhrā
nīcaiḥ paripatanti ca, śivāś cāpy aśivā vācaḥ pravadanti mahāsvanāḥ/ kṣipram adya durādharṣām purīm
rāvaṇapālitām, abhiyāma javenaiva sarvato haribhir vṛtāḥ/ ity evam tu vadan vīro lakṣmaṇam
lakṣmaṇāgrajaḥ, tasmād avātarac chīghram parvatāgrān mahābalaḥ/ avatīrya tu dharmātmā tasmāc
chailāt sa rāghavaḥ, paraiḥ paramadurdharṣam dadarśa balam ātmanaḥ/ samnahya tu sasugrīvaḥ
kapirājabalam mahat, kālajño rāghavah kāle samyugāyābhyacodayat/ tatah kāle mahābāhur balena

mahatā vrtah, prasthitah purato dhanvī laṅkām abhimukhah purīm/ taṁ vibhīsana sugrīvau hanūmāñ jāmbavān nalah, rksarājas tathā nīlo laksmanaś cānyayus tadā/ tatah paścāt sumahatī pṛtanarkṣavanaukasām, pracchādya mahatīm bhūmim anuyāti sma rāghavam/ śailaśrṅgāṇi śataśah pravrddhām's ca mahīruhām, jagrhuḥ kuñjaraprakhyā vānarāḥ paravāraṇāḥ/ tau tv adīrgheṇa kālena bhrātarau rāmalaksmanau, rāvanasva purīm lankām āsedatur arimdamau/ patākāmālinīm ramvām udyānavanaśobhitām, citravaprām suduṣprāpām uccaprākāratoraṇām/ tām surair api durdharṣām rāmavākyapracoditāh, yathānideśam sampīdya nyaviśanta vanaukasah/ lankāyās tūttaradvāram śailaśrngam ivonnatam, rāmaḥ sahānujo dhanvī jugopa ca rurodha ca/lankām upaniviṣṭaś ca rāmo daśarathātmajah, laksmanānucaro vīrah purīm rāvanapālitām/ uttaradvāram āsādya yatra tisthati rāvanah, nānyo rāmād dhi tad dvāram samarthah pariraksitum/ rāvanādhisthitam bhīmam varuneneva sāgaram, sāyudhau rāksasair bhīmair abhiguptam samantatah, laghūnām trāsajananam pātālam iva dānavaih/ vinyastāni ca yodhānām bahūni vividhāni ca, dadarśāyudhajālāni tathaiva kavacāni ca/ pūrvam tu dvāram āsādya nīlo haricamūpatih, atisthat saha maindena dvividena ca vīryavān/ angado daksinadyāram jagrāha sumahābalah, rsabhena gavāksena gajena gavayena ca/ hanūmān paścimadvāram rarakṣa balavān kapiḥ, pramāthi praghasābhyām ca vīrair anyaiś ca samgataḥ/ madhyame ca svayam gulme sugrīvah samatiṣṭhata, saha sarvair hariśreṣṭhaih suparnaśvasanopamaih/ vānarāṇām tu ṣaṭṭrimśat koṭyaḥ prakhyātayūthapāḥ, nipīḍyopaniviṣṭāś ca sugrīvo yatra vānaraḥ/ śāsanena tu rāmasya laksmanah savibhīsanah, dvāre dvāre harīnām tu kotim kotim nyaveśayat/ paścimena tu rāmasya sugrīvah saha jāmbavān, adūrān madhyame gulme tasthau bahubalānugah/ te tu vānaraśārdūlāh śārdūlā iva damṣṭriṇah, grhītvā drumaśailāgrān hṛṣṭā yuddhāya tasthire/ sarve vikṛtalāngūlāḥ sarve damstrānakhāyudhāḥ, sarve vikṛtacitrāngāḥ sarve ca vikṛtānanāḥ/ daśanāgabalāḥ ke cit ke cid daśagunottarāh, ke cin nāgasahasrasya babhūvus tulyavikramāh/ santi caughā balāh ke cit ke cic chatagunottarāh, aprameyabalāś cānye tatrāsan hariyūthapāh/ adbhutaś ca vicitraś ca tesām āsīt samāgamah, tatra vānarasainyānām śalabhānām ivodgamah/ paripūrnam ivākāśam samchanneva ca medinī, lankām upanivistais ca sampatadbhis ca vānaraih/satam satasahasrānām pṛthag rksavanaukasām, lankā dvārāny upājagmur anye yoddhum samantatah/āvrtah sa girih sarvais taih samantāt plavamgamaiḥ, ayutānām sahasram ca purīm tām abhyavartata/ vānarair balavadbhiś ca babhūva drumapānibhih, sarvatah samvrtā lankā duspraveśāpi vāvunā/ rāksasā vismavam jagmuh sahasābhinipīditāh, vānarair meghasamkāśaih śakratulyaparākramaih/ mahāñ śabdo 'bhavat tatra balaughasyābhivartataḥ, sāgarasyeva bhinnasya yathā syāt salilasvanaḥ/ tena śabdena mahatā saprākārā satoranā, laṅkā pracalitā sarvā saśailavanakānanā/ rāmalaksmanaguptā sā sugrīvena ca vāhinī, babhūva durdharsatarā sarvair api surāsuraih/ rāghavah samniveśyaivam sainyam svam raksasām vadhe, sammantrya mantribhih sārdham niścitya ca punah punah/ānantaryam abhiprepsuh kramayogārthatattvavit, vibhīsanasyānumate rājadharmam anusmaran, angadam vālitanayam samāhūyedam abravīt/ gatvā saumya daśagrīvam brūhi madvacanāt kape, langhayitvā purīm lankām bhayam tyaktvā gatavyathah/bhrastaśrīkagataiśvaryamumūrso nastacetanah, ṛṣīṇām devatānām ca gandharvāpsarasām tathā/ nāgānām atha yakṣāṇām rājñām ca rajanīcara, yac ca pāpam kṛtam mohād avaliptena rāksasa/ nūnam adva gato darpah svavambhū varadānajah, vasva dandadharas te 'ham dārāharanakarśitah, dandam dhārayamānas tu lankādvare vyayasthitah/ padavīm devatānām ca maharşīṇām ca rākṣasa, rājarṣīṇām ca sarveṇām gamiṣyasi mayā hataḥ/ balena yena vai sītām māyayā rāksasādhama, mām atikrāmayitvā tvam hṛtavāms tad vidarśaya/arāksasam imam lokam kartāsmi niśitaih śaraih, na cec charanam abhyesi mām upādāya maithilīm/ dharmātmā raksasām śresthah samprāpto 'yam vibhīsanah, lankaiśvaryam dhruvam śrīmān ayam prāpnoty akantakam/ na hi rājyam adharmena bhoktum kṣaṇam api tvayā, śakyam mūrkhasahāyena pāpenāvijitātmanā/ yudhyasva vā dhṛtim kṛtvā śauryam ālambya rākṣasa, maccharais tvam raṇe śāntas tatah pūto bhaviṣyasi/yady āviśasi lokāms trīn pakşibhūto manojavah, mama cakşuspatham prāpya na jīvan pratiyāsyasi/ bravīmi tvām -hitam vākyam kriyatām aurdhvadekikam, sudrstā kriyatām lankā jīvitam te mayi sthitam ity uktah sa tu tāreyo rāmenāklistakarmanā, jagāmākāśam āviśya mūrtimān iva havyavāt/ so 'tipatya muhūrtena śrīmān rāvanamandiram, dadarśāsīnam avyagram rāvanam sacivaih saha/tatas tasyāvidūrena nipatya haripumgavah, dīptāgnisadrśas tasthāv angadah kanakāngadah tad rāmavacanam sarvam anyūnādhikam uttamam, sāmātyam śrāvayām āsa nivedyātmānam ātmanā/ dūto 'ham kosalendrasya

rāmasyāklistakarmanah,vāliputro 'ngado nāma yadi te śrotram āgatah/ āha tvām rāghavo rāmah kausalyānandavardhanah, nispatya pratiyudhyasva nrśamsam purusādhama/ hantāsmi tvām sahāmātyam saputrajñātibāndhavam, nirudvignās trayo lokā bhavişyanti hate tvayi/ devadānavayakṣāṇām gandharvoragarakşasām, śatrum adyoddharişyāmi tvām rsīṇām ca kaṇṭakam/vibhīṣaṇasya caiśvaryam bhavisyati hate tyayi, na cet satkrtya vaidehīm pranipatya pradāsyasi/ ity evam parusam vākyam bruyāne haripumgave, amarşavasam āpanno nisācaragaņesvarah/ tatah sa rosatāmrākṣah sasāsa sacivāms tadā,gṛhyatām eṣa durmedhā vadhyatām iti cāsakṛt/ rāvaṇasya vacaḥ śrutvā dīptāgnisamatejasaḥ, jagṛhus tam tato ghorāś catvāro rajanīcarāh/ grāhayām āsa tāreyah svayam ātmānam ātmanā, balam darśayitum vīro yātudhānagane tadā/ sa tān bāhudvaye saktān ādāya patagān iva, prāsādam śailasaṁkāśam utpāpātāṅgadas tadā/ te 'ntariksād vinirdhūtās tasya vegena rāksasāh, bhumau nipatitāh sarve rāksasendrasva paśyatah/tatah prāsādaśikharam śailaśrngam ivonnatam, tat paphāla tadākrāntam daśagrīvasya paśyatah/bhanktvā prāsādaśikharam nāma viśrāvya cātmanah, vinadya sumahānādam utpapāta vihāyasā/ rāvaņas tu param cakre krodham prāsādadharşanāt, vināśam cātmanah paśyan niḥśvāsaparamo 'bhavat/ rāmas tu bahubhir hṛṣṭair ninadadbhiḥ plavamgamaiḥ, vṛto ripuvadhākānkṣī vuddhāyaivābhyayartata/ susenas tu mahāvīryo girikūtopamo harih, bahubhih samyrtas tatra vānaraih kāmarūpibhiḥ/ caturdvārāṇi sarvāṇi sugrīvavacanāt kapiḥ, paryākramata durdharṣo nakṣatrāṇīva candramāḥ/ teṣām akṣauhiṇiśatam samavekṣya vanaukasām, lankām upaniviṣṭānām sāgaram cātivartatām/ rāksasā vismayam jagmus trāsam jagmus tathāpare, apare samaroddharsād dharsam evopapedire/kṛtsnam hi kapibhir vyāptam prākāraparikhāntaram, dadṛśū rāksasā dīnāh prākāram vānarīkṛtam/ tasmin mahābhīṣaṇake pravṛtte; kolāhale rākṣasarājadhānyām, pragṛhya rakṣāmsi mahāyudhāni; yugāntavātā iva samviceruḥ/

Having noted the body scratches of blood and wounds as of having resorted to typical of a battle on Sugriva, Shri Rama said: Sugriva! Even without consulting me you seem to have routed to a bloody encounter! Saahasa Priya Veera, you have created a stur and concern in our minds of these vanara pramukhas, Vibhishana Lakshmanas and mine too as what had suddenly happened to you! Kinldy do not repeat such 'dussaahasa' escapades once again. Maha Bali! If any untoward incident were to happen, what would happen to me, Sita, Lakshmana, and Bharata Shatrughnas and all the Vaanara Veeras. If any such eventuality were to take place, believe me that I would be doubt destroy Ravana, release Sita, perform Vibhishana's Rajya Pattaabhisheka but resort to my own 'atma samarpana'! As Shri Rama had statred thus, Sugriva replied: Tava bharyaapahartaaram drushtvaa Raghava Ravanam,marshayaami katham veera jaana vikramamaatnanah/ 'Veera Raghu Nandana! Even fully being realised your name and fame, and invincibility, dushta Ravana had perpetrated the meanest deed to his destruction; that was how lost my normal self and should never to be repeated again'. Then Shri Rama had thus sought to forget and forgive attitude wishing compiments to Sugriva and then had taken command of the situation on hand, addressed Lakshmana: 'Let us now be cool minded and then work out the idea formation of Maha Vaanara Sena into proper divisions as already planned to get redady to attack. Now there are 'bhayanaka apashkunas' being experienced that countless Vaanara Bhallukas besides Maha Rakshassas too would be in the corner. Prachanda Vayu is indicative of sand storms and earth quakes and parvata shikhara breakdowns besides 'diggaja chheet -kaaras', 'simha garjanas and rakta varshas'! Lakshmana! Surya Chara Nakshatras are dimming of their natural grandeur. kākāh śyenās tathā gṛdhrā nīcaih paripatanti ca, śivāś cāpy aśivā vācah pravadanti mahāsvanāh/ ksipram adya durādharsām purīm rāvaṇapālitām, abhiyāma javenaiva sarvato haribhir vṛtāh/ ity evam tu vadan vīro lakṣmaṇam lakşmanāgrajah, tasmād avātarac chīghram parvatāgrān mahābalah/ Crows, dogs, owls are seated on earth in large assemblies making peculiar crowings, barkings and sceeeches. Indeed, Lankapuri shatrus are not easy to win over yet the Maha Vaanara Sena be descended from Suvela shikhara to attack. tatah kāle mahābāhur balena mahatā vṛtah, prasthitah purato dhanvī lankām abhimukhah purīm/ tam

vibhīsana sugrīvau hanūmāň jāmbavān nalah, rksarājas tathā nīlo laksmanaś cānyayus tadā/ tatah paścāt sumahatī prtanarkṣavanaukasām, pracchādya mahatīm bhūmim anuyāti sma rāghavam/ Thereafter Maha Baahu Dhanurdhara Shri Rama in lead with the Maha Sena at the most auspicious time kept on progressing towards Lanka Puri. Vibhishana, Sugriva, Hanuman, Jambavan, Nala, Neela and Laksmanas followed suit. Then bhallukas and vanaraas spread over marching behind Shri Rama as though the earth was over shadowed by them. They were carrying on their mighty shoulders mountain boulderes and maha vrishas as their weaponry. Very soon enough Rama Lakshmanas faced Lankapuri. laṅkāyās tūttaradvāram śailaśṛṅgam ivonnatam, rāmah sahānujo dhanvī jugopa ca rurodha ca/laṅkām upanivistas ca rāmo dasarathātmajah, laksmanānucaro vīrah purīm rāvanapālitām/ uttaradvāram āsādya yatra tisthati rāvaṇaḥ, nānyo rāmād dhi tad dvāram samarthaḥ parirakṣitum/ Dasharathanandana Veera Rama Lakshmanas faced the 'uttara dwaara' and faced Rayana directly and settled as none of any support behing them was felt. On the other hand astrashastra dhaari bhayankara raksha veeras stood right behind him as if Varuna deva was backed up by Maha Samudra. pūrvam tu dvāram āsādya nīlo haricamūpatih, atisthat saha maindena dvividena ca vīryavān/ angado dakṣiṇadvāram jagrāha sumahābalah, rsabhena gavāksena gajena gavayena ca/ hanūmān paścimadvāram raraksa balavān kapiḥ, pramāthi praghasābhyām ca vīrair anyaiś ca samgataḥ/ Vanarasena Parakrami Neela, Mainda, Dvividas were facing the purva dwaara. Angada along with Rishabha, Gavaksha, Gaja and Gavayas with their respective vaanara yoddhhas then stood firm at the dakshina dwaara. Kapi Shrestha Veera Hanuman along with Pramarhi, Prathasa and other vaanara veeraas settled at the paschima dwaara. madhyame ca svayam gulme sugrīvah samatisthata, saha sarvair hariśresthaih suparnaśvasanopamaih/vānarānām tu sattrimśat kotyah prakhyātayūthapāh, nipīdyopanivistāś ca sugrīvo yatra vānarah/ śāsanena tu rāmasya lakşmanah savibhīşanah, dvāre dvāre harīnām tu koṭim koṭim nyaveśayat/ At the north west 'madhyama vaayavya' the central hold of Maha Rahshasas was under the command of Sugriva backed by thirty six crores. As per Shri Rama's instructions, Vibhishana and Lakshmanas were placed at the pratyeka dwaara or the special dwaara with a crore each of vaanara sheshthas. paścimena tu rāmasya sugrīvah saha jāmbavān, adūrān madhyame gulme tasthau bahubalānugah/ Now Sushena and Jambavan were placed a little behind away as back up reserve of Shri Rama along with 'vaanara bhalluka maha veeras'. The vaanara lions and tigers are thus ready to attack with speed, force, enthusiasm, and fervor. Their long and mighty tails are shaking as though with anger and excitement while their strong damshtras, and piercing nails are their weaponry. Some of the Maha Vaanaras are possessive of ten elephants each or even farmore of 'shakti'. Their hands and shoulders were busy carrying maha vrikshas as uprooted by them. As the Rakshaaas were getting bewildered with the power of their throwings of the maha vrikshas as their weaponry. As the Maha Samudra with maha setu bandhana was divided and harassed by Vaanaras, it was appearing more frightening ever with roars the vanara senas get further more momentum in such a manner that the waves were hitting the interiors of Lanka puri might get merged with the ocean. rāmalakşmaṇaguptā sā sugrīveṇa ca vāhinī, babhūva durdharṣatarā sarvair api surāsuraiḥ/rāghavaḥ samniveśyaivam sainyam svam rakṣasām vadhe, sammantrya mantribhih sārdham niścitya ca punah punah/ānantaryam abhiprepsuh kramayogārthatattvavit, vibhīsanasyānumate rājadharmam anusmaran, angadam vālitanayam samāhūyedam abravīt/ Rama Lakshmana Sugrivas were ever vigilant and sensitive to preseve the Vaanara vaahini in a manner that neither asuras or even Devas could tamper with them. Then Shri Rama along with his ministers directed Angada Kumara suggested that even at this critical and climatic mode might address Ravana to follow the golden precepts of Saama, daana adi upayas as Vibhishana readily endorsed the view point. gatvā saumya daśagrīvam brūhi madvacanāt kape, langhayitvā purīm lankām bhayam tyaktvā gatavyathah/ bhrastaśrīkagataiśvaryamumūrşo nastacetanah,

rsīnām devatānām ca gandharvāpsarasām tathā/ nāgānām atha yaksānām rājñām ca rajanīcara, yac ca pāpam kṛtam mohād avaliptena rākṣasa/ nūnam adya gato darpah svayambhū varadānajah, yasya dandadharas te 'ham dārāharanakarśitah, dandam dhārayamānas tu lankādvare vyavasthitah/ Soumya Kapiyara Angada! Dashamukha Rayana had by now become a 'Rajya bhrashtha' as his aishyarya had since evaporated and is desperate to get killed as his 'chetana shakti' is sunk in the deep mud of arroganve and desperation. You may therefore fly to cross the strong barrier gates and convey my message to him as follows: 'Nishachara Rakshasa Raja! your 'mohavasha' selfishness and arrogance had blinded you as what all naharshis, deva, gandhrva, apsara, naaga, yaksha, maha rajas followed dutifully with 'dhaarmika vishvaasa'. Now your selfish meanness had since transgressed. Thus your sinfulness in abucting my wife is ripe as I have now at Lanka Dwara to attack and smother you. padavīm devatānām ca maharṣīṇām ca rāksasa, rājarsīnām ca sarvenām gamisyasi mayā hatah/ balena yena vai sītām māyayā rāksasādhama, mām atikrāmayitvā tvam hrtavāms tad vidarśaya/arākṣasam imam lokam kartāsmi niśitaiḥ śaraiḥ, na cec charaṇam abhyeṣi mām upādāya maithilīm/ dharmātmā rakṣasām śreṣṭhaḥ samprāpto 'yam vibhīṣaṇaḥ, lankaiśvaryam dhruvam śrīmān ayam prāpnoty akantakam/ Rashasa! If only you face me directly, be rest assured that as all the devatas, maharshis and raiarshis would be relieved and curse you for 'paraloka prapti'. Neecha Nisaachara! Now is the time when the maya bala with which you had stolen my wife be used now as I face you in this dharma yuddha. Even at this crisis if you apologise to me I might withdraw and save you and your rakshasaas. Rakshasa Dharmatma Vibhishana had approached me with veneration; now He ought to be the King of Rakshasaas too soon. na hi rājyam adharmena bhoktum kṣanam api tvayā, śakyam mūrkhasahāyena pāpenāvijitātmanā/ yudhyasva vā dhṛtim kṛtvā śauryam ālambya rāksasa, maccharais tvam rane śāntas tatah pūto bhavisyasi/vady āviśasi lokāms trīn paksibhūto manojavah, mama cakşuşpatham prāpya na jīvan pratiyāsyasi/ bravīmi tvām hitam vākyam kriyatām aurdhvadekikam, sudrstā kriyatām lankā jīvitam te mayi sthitam/ Ravana! You are a confirmed sinner anyway, and along with you your followers are blind and dimwitted stupids. That is why your saamrajya should crash down right now. Rakshasa! Now you should wage the battle like a genuine warrior with all yout tricks of 'maya' yet with composure and seek peace of your 'antaraatma' by falling down by my 'baana praharana' as a 'praana shunya' and a 'shuddhha nishpaapa' of blissful purity. Nishachara! I strongly feel that in your next birth if you become an ever fying bird as restlessly on the constant move on the sky but never on earth. Now I suggest that you should take to 'paraloka chintana' and as such you might as well initiate your 'shraddhha karma' soon enough. Hence you may have a final look of Lanka Rajya as yout life termination is round the corner.' Thus Shri Rama briefed Vaanara Yuva Raja Angada Kumara to fly up the main gate and address his mesaage and return safe after compliance'. As per Shri Rama's instruction, Angada flew up and reached Ravana ready for the battle and having faced the 'mahaasura' and inroduced himself that he was Angada the Yuva Raja of Vaanara Sena who might perhaps had heard about as I have a message of warning from the Raghukula Maha Veera Shri Rama as follows: 'Ravanaadhama! Be a brave warrior and face me as a Purusha. hantāsmi tvām sahāmātyam saputrajñātibāndhavam, nirudvignās trayo lokā bhavişyanti hate tvayi/ devadānavayakṣāṇām gandharvoragaraksasām, śatrum advoddharisyāmi tvām rsīnām ca kantakam/vibhīsanasya caiśvaryam bhavişyati hate tvayi, na cet satkrtya vaidehīm pranipatya pradāsyasi/ I have arrived here to destroy you, your mantris, putras, bandhu baandhavas and followers since your mrityu should usher peace and safety in trilokas. You are the confirmed enemy of deva, daanava, yaksha, gandharva, naaga, and rakshasa too, bsides being a piercing thorn of Rishis too and such a prickling spike should be uprooted. Rakshasa adhama Ravana, if only you fall at my feet and return back Sita respectfully, I might return from Lanka or else your viddvamsa is certain and so should be 'Vibhisana Pattaabhisheka' soon.' As Angada had thus conveyed Shri Rama's ultimatum to Ravana as ably conducted by Angada, Ravana was fumed with 'krodhaagni' and shouted at the Maha Rakshasaas around to catchold the dirty vaanara atonce. Then Angada having allowed himself to be caught voluntarily to display his might to the co rakshasa veeras and like a mighty guruda deva, wriggled from their stronghold flew up the high and strong dome of Ravana's palace as the dome was shattered as a warning to Ravana. Then Angada Kumara flew up on the sky and reached at the feet of Rama as per the instruction, as the Vanara Sena initiated their attack.

Sarga Forty Two

Final placement of Rama Sena with followers of Lahshmana-Vibhishana- Sugriva-Maha Vaanaras at the Lankapuri Dwaras cordinating up above and near the gates reminding of Deva- Danava Yuddha!

Tatas te rākṣasās tatra gatvā rāvaṇamandiram, nyavedayan purīm ruddhām rāmeṇa saha vānaraih/ ruddhām tu nagarīm śrutvā jātakrodho niśācaraḥ, vidhānam dviguņam śrutvā prāsādam so 'dhyarohata/ sa dadarśāvṛtām lankām saśailavanakānanām, asamkhyeyair harigaṇaiḥ sarvato yuddhakānkṣibhiḥ/ sa dṛṣtvā vānaraih sarvām vasudhām kavalīkṛtām, katham kṣapayitavyāh syur iti cintāparo 'bhavat/ sa cintayityā suciram dhairyam ālambya rāvanah, rāghavam hariyūthām's ca dadarsayatalocanah/ preksato rākṣasendrasya tāny anīkāni bhāgaśah, rāghavapriyakāmārtham lankām āruruhus tadā/ te tāmravaktrā hemābhā rāmārthe tyaktajīvitāh, lankām evāhyavartanta sālatālaśilāyudhāh/ te drumaih parvatāgraiś ca muştibhiś ca plavamgamāḥ, prāsādāgrāṇi coccāni mamantus toraṇāni ca/ pārikhāḥ pūrayanti sma prasannasalilāyutāḥ, pāmsubhiḥ parvatāgraiś ca tṛṇaiḥ kāṣṭhaiś ca vānarāḥ/ tataḥ sahasrayūthāś ca kotiyūthās ca yūthapāh, kotīsatayutās cānye lankām āruruhus tadā/kāñcanāni pramṛdnantas toranāni plavamgamāh, kailāsaśikharābhāni gopurāni pramathya ca/āplavantah plavantaś ca garjantaś ca plavamgamāh, lankām tām abhyavartanta mahāvāranasamnibhāh/ jayaty atibalo rāmo laksmanaś ca mahābalah, rājā jayati sugrīvo rāghaveṇābhipālitah/ ity evam ghoṣayantaś ca garjantaś ca playamgamāh, abhyadhāyanta lankāyāh prākāram kāmarūpinah/ vīrabāhuh subāhuś ca nalaś ca vanagocaraḥ, nipīdyopaniviṣtās te prākāram hariyūthapāḥ/ etasminn antare cakruḥ skandhāvāra niveśanam/ pūrvadvāram tu kumudaḥ koṭibhir daśabhir vṛtaḥ, āvṛtya balavāms tasthau haribhir jitakāśibhih/ daksinadvāram āgamya vīrah śatabalih kapih, āvrtya balavāms tasthau vimśatyā kotibhir vṛtah/ susenah paścimadvāram gatas tārā pitā harih, āvṛtya balavāms tasthau sasti kotibhir āvṛtah/ uttaradvāram āsādya rāmah saumitrinā saha, āvrtya balavāms tasthau sugrīvas ca harīsvarah/ golāngūlo mahākāyo gavākṣo bhīmadarśanaḥ, vṛtaḥ koṭyā mahāvīryas tasthau rāmasya pārvataḥ/ rṣkāṇām bhīmavegānām dhūmraḥ śatrunibarhaṇaḥ, vṛtaḥ koṭyā mahāvīryas tasthau rāmasya pārśvataḥ/ samnaddhas tu mahāvīryo gadāpāṇir vibhīṣaṇah, vrto yas tais tu sacivais tasthau tatra mahābalah/ gajo gavākşo gavayah śarabho gandhamādanah, samantāt parighāvanto rarakşur harivāhinīm/ tatah kopaparītātmā rāvano rāksaseśvarah, niryānam sarvasainyānām drutam ājñāpayat tadā/ nispatanti tatah sainyā hrstā rāvanacoditāh, samaye pūryamānasya vegā iva mahodadheh/ etasminn antare ghorah samgrāmaḥ samapadyata, rakṣasām vānarāṇām ca yathā devāsure purā/ te gadābhiḥ pradīptābhiḥ śaktiśūlaparaśvadhaih, nijaghnur vānarān ghorāh kathayantah svavikramān/ tathā vṛksair mahākāyāh parvatāgrais ca vānarāh, rāksasās tāni raksāmsi nakhair dantais ca vegitāh/ rāksasās tv apare bhīmāh prākārasthā mahīgatān, bhiṇḍipālaiś ca khaḍgaiś ca śūlaiś caiva vyadārayan/ vānarāś cāpi samkruddhāḥ prākārasthān mahīgatāḥ, rākṣasān pātayām āsuḥ samāplutya plavamgamāḥ/sa samprahāras tumulo māmsasonitakardamaḥ, rakṣasām vānarāṇām ca sambabhūvādbhutopamāḥ/

Then Maha Rakshasaas informed King Ravana that the Maha Vanara Sena had surrounded attacking the mukhya dwaaras of Lankapuri as the furious Ravana yelld to double up the safety of Lankapuri at once. He stared at Rama with red eyes, as Rama was just then ruminating of Devi Sita and her possible state of happenings and specially of her heath. Then Rama recocevered soon enough from the thunderous simha naadaas of the ebullient Vaanara Sena seeking to break through the Lankapuri gates with mountain boulders and maha vrikshas. They seem to decisively enter either mounting up the high and strong walls

or demolish the gates. Some of the Maha Vanara Veeras were of the 'gaja raaja smaana vishala dehas' or even of hill like body builds. In either manner they are passionately wedded with the single obsession of Shri Rama Karya. Then the vaanara veeras started shouting in high pitch: 'Atyanta Bala Shaali Rama, jaya jaya-Maha Bali Lakshmana, jaya jaya-Raja Sugriva Jaya Jaya; thus the Vaanara Veeras assuming the rupas like parrots, doves, human beings, or even as rakshasaas and broken into the gates and barriers wantonly. Then, Maha Vaanara Shreshthas such as Veera Baahu, Subaahu, Nala, Panasa and such of them jumped of the 'Praakaaras' of Lanka Puri and speeded up the attacks. Balavaan Kumuda along with Ishaana / North East Kona and occupied the Eastern Gate wuth ten crores of sena behind while Maha Baahus Pahasa, Prapasa and seven more warriors steadied themselves for instant attacks. Now the placement vayaavya disha angle of north west near the dakshina dwaara were of in charge of Shatabali with twenty crores of vaanara veeraas behind him. Then Tara Devis father Sushena was at nirruti disha of south west with crores and crores of Vaanara Sena overseeing paschima dwaara. Then, Sumitraa Kumara Lakshmana and Sugriva were guarding the Uttara Dwaara. Golaangula Bhalluka origin of Gavaksha with one crore of vaanara sena is behind Shri Rama on one side while Maha Bhalluka Dhumara with bhayanaka bhallukas of a crore strength on the other side of Rama well behind. Vibhishana and his ministers was near by Shri Rama. Gaja-Gavaksha-Gavaya-Sharabha and Gandhamaadana were mobile safeguarding the entire vaanara sena of several crores. Then the fuming King of Raksha Sena ordered for beating of drums and shankha garjanas as a sign of attack. etasminn antare ghorah samgrāmah samapadyata, raksasām vānarānām ca yathā devāsure purā/ te gadābhih pradīptābhih śaktiśūlaparaśvadhaiḥ, nijaghnur vānarān ghorāḥ kathayantaḥ svavikramān/ tathā vṛkṣair mahākāyāḥ parvatāgraiś ca vānarāh, rāksasās tāni raksāmsi nakhair dantaiś ca vegitāh/ As the Maha Vaanara Sena was making 'simha naadaas' resounded at the parvata shikharas and caves of Mandhara Parvata and adjoining parvaras too, the movement of elephants, chariots, horses and foot soldiers of Rakshasa Veeras This would seem as Deva Daanava Maha Yuddhhas of the yore. Rakashasaas were encountering with maces, shulaas, and so on as Vanaras with mountain boulders and maha vikshas as uprooted. Vaanara senaas were sloganeering as victory to Rama Sugrivas while Rakshasa Sena was yelling Jaya Jaya ninaadaas of King Ravana. rākṣasās tv apare bhīmāḥ prākārasthā mahīgatān, bhindipālaiś ca khadgaiś ca śūlaiś caiva vyadāravan/ vānarāś cāpi samkruddhāh prākārasthān mahīgatāh, rāksasān pātavām āsuh samāplutva plavamgamāh/sa samprahāras tumulo māmsasonitakardamah, raksasām vānarānām ca sambabhūvādbhutopamāh/ As some Rakshasa soldiers were on high at the top of the entry gates forcefully throwing shulas, maces, and like besides the interiors of the gates and right inside the Lankapuri formations of their Rakshasa army, Vaanara Veeras were attacking them with maha vrikshas and hills and mountain boulders. The vanara and bhalluka maha senas were physically assaulting the maha rakshasas by bending their heads and limbs in forcefully bringing into their hold and killing them. Such had been the proceedings of flood like flows of blood and flesh all over. Both the Rakshasa-Vaanara Veeras then took a temporary break at the 'Suryaastastama' for resuming by Chandra Nakshatra Darshana.

Sarga Forty Three

<u>Dwandva Yuddhha of Ravana- Vaanara Bhallukas day long between Indrajit- Angada, Jambumali- Hanuman, Shatrughna-Vibhishana, Gaja-Neela, Prathasa-Sugriva, Virupasha-Lakshmana and so on.</u>

Yudhyataam tu tatasteshham vaanara ganaaam mahaatmaanam, Rakshasaasm sambabhuvaath balaroshaah sudāruṇaḥ/ te hayaiḥ kāñcanāpīḍair dhvajaiś cāgniśikhopamaiḥ, rathaiś cādityasamkāśaiḥ kavacaiś ca manoramaiḥ/ niryayū rākṣasavyāghrā nādayanto diśo daśa, rākṣasā bhīmakarmāṇo rāvaṇasya jayaiṣiṇaḥ/ vānarāṇām api camūr mahatī jayam iccatām, abhyadhāvata tām senām rakṣasām kāmarūpiṇām/ etasminn antare teṣām anyonyam abhidhāvatām, rakṣasām vānarāṇām ca dvandvayuddham avartata/ aṅgadenendrajit sārdham vāliputreṇa rākṣasaḥ, ayudhyata mahātejās tryambakeṇa yathāndhakaḥ/ prajaṅghena ca saṃpātir nityam durmarṣaṇo raṇe, jambūmālinam ārabdho hanūmān api vānaraḥ/ saṃgataḥ sumahākrodho rākṣaso rāvaṇānujaḥ, samare tīkṣṇavegena mitraghnena

vibhīsanah/ tapanena gajah sārdham rāksasena mahābalah, nikumbhena mahātejā nīlo 'pi samayudhyata/ vānarendras tu sugrīvah praghasena samāgatah, samgatah samare śrīmān virūpāksena lakṣmaṇaḥ/ agniketuś ca durdharṣo raśmiketuś ca rākṣasaḥ, suptaghno yajñakopaś ca rāmeṇa saha samgatāh/vajramustis tu maindena dvividenāśaniprabhah, rākṣasābhyām sughorābhyām kapimukhyau samāgatau/ vīrah pratapano ghoro rāksaso ranadurdharah, samare tīksnavegena nalena samayudhyata/dharmasya putro balavān suṣeṇa iti viśrutaḥ, sa vidyunmālinā sārdham ayudhyata mahākapiḥ/ vānarāś cāpare bhīmā rākṣasair aparaiḥ saha, dvandvam samīyur bahudhā yuddhāya bahubhih saha/ tatrāsīt sumahad yuddham tumulam lomaharsanam, raksasām vānarānām ca vīrānām jayam icchatām/ harirāksasadehebhyah prasrtāh keśaśādvalāh, śarīrasamghātavahāh prasusruh śonitāpagāh/ājaghānendrajit kruddho vajreneva śatakratuh, aṅgadaṁ gadayā vīraṁ śatrusainyavidāranam/ tasya kāñcanacitrāngam ratham sāśvam sasārathim, jaghāna samare śrīmān angado vegavān kapih/ sampātis tu tribhir bānaih prajanghena samāhatah, nijaghānāśvakarnena prajangham raṇamūrdhani/ jambūmālī rathasthas tu rathaśaktyā mahābalaḥ, bibheda samare kruddho hanūmantam stanāntare/ tasya tam ratham āsthāya hanūmān mārutātmajaḥ, pramamātha talenāśu saha tenaiya raksasā/ bhinnagātrah śarais tīksnaih ksiprahastena raksasā, prajaghānādriśrṅgena tapanam muştinā gajaḥ/ grasantam iva sainyāni praghasam vānarādhipaḥ, sugrīvaḥ saptaparņena nirbibheda jaghāna ca/ prapīdya śaravarṣeṇa rākṣasam bhīmadarśanam, nijaghāna virūpākṣam śareṇaikena laksmanah/ agniketuś ca durdharso raśmiketuś ca rāksasah, suptighno yajñakopaś ca rāmam nirbibhiduh śaraih/ tesām caturnām rāmas tu śirāmsi samare śaraih, kruddhaś caturbhiś ciccheda ghorair agniśikhopamaih/ vajramuştis tu maindena muştinā nihato raņe, papāta sarathah sāśvah purāṭṭa iva bhūtale/vajrāśanisamasparśo dvivido 'py aśaniprabham, jaghāna giriśrngena mişatām sarvarakṣasām/ dvividam vānarendram tu drumayodhinam āhave, śarair aśanisamkāśaiḥ sa vivyādhāśaniprabhaḥ/ sa śarair atividdhāngo dvividah krodhamūrchitah, sālena saratham sāśvam nijaghānāśaniprabham/ nikumbhas tu rane nīlam nīlānjanacayaprabham, nirbibheda śarais tīksnaih karair megham ivāmsumān/ punah śaraśatenātha ksiprahasto niśācarah, bibheda samare nīlam nikumbhah prajahāsa ca/ tasyaiva rathacakrena nīlo visnur ivāhave, śiraś ciccheda samare nikumbhasya ca sāratheh/ vidyunmālī rathasthas tu śaraiḥ kāñcanabhūṣaṇaiḥ, suṣeṇam tāḍayām āsa nanāda ca muhur muhuḥ/ tam rathastham atho drstvā suseno vānarottamah, giriśrngena mahatā ratham āśu nyapātayat/ lāghayena tu samyukto vidyunmālī niśācarah, apakramya rathāt tūrnam gadāpānih ksitau sthitah/ tatah krodhasamāvistah suṣeṇo haripumgavaḥ, śilām sumahatīm grhya niśācaram abhidravat/ tam āpatantam gadayā vidyunmālī niśācarah, vaksasy abhijagnānāśu susenam harisattamam/ gadāprahāram tam ghoram acintyaplavagottamah, tām śilām pātayām āsa tasyorasi mahāmrdhe śilāprahārābhihato vidyunmālī niśācarah, nispistahrdayo bhūmau gatāsur nipapāta ha' evam tair vānaraih śūraih śūrās te rajanīcarāh, dvandve vimrditās tatra daityā iva divaukasaih/ bhallaih khadgair gadābhiś ca śaktitomara pattasaih, apaviddhaś ca bhinnaś ca rathaih sāmgrāmikair hayaih/ nihataih kuñjarair mattais tathā vānararākṣasaiḥ, cakrākṣayugadaṇḍaiś ca bhagṇair dharaṇisaṁśritaiḥ, babhūvāyodhanaṁ ghoraṁ gomāyugaņasevitam/ kabandhāni samutpetur dikşu vānararakṣasām, vimarde tumule tasmin devāsuraranopame/ vidārvamānā haripumgavais tadā; niśācarāh śonitadigdhagātrāh, punah suyuddham tarasā samāśritā; divākarasvāstamavābhikānksinah/

As Maha Rakshas got bewildered at the torrential inflows of the Vaanara Sena inside and outside of the Lankapuri Mukha Dwaaraas there were mutual hatred and arrogance. The Rakshasa Veeras were well equipped with glitteringly decorated Chariots, elephants, horses, military costumes and Ayudhas, body kavachas, trishulas, parighas, and so on with slogans of victory for King Ravana. On the other hand the Maha Vaanara Bhallukas heartily dedicated to Shri Rama Vijaya were forcefully attaacking the Maha Rakshasaas and resorted to 'dwandva yuddha'. Vaali Putra Angada clashed with Ravana Putra Indrajit who too attacked for dwandva yuddha recalling Maha Deva Yuddha with Andhakaasura, with the Angada Vijaya.

[Vishleshana on Maheshwara-Andhakaasura dwandhva yuddha'

Andhaka was the son of Daitya Hiranyaaksha of Varaaha Avataara fame of Vishnu Deva; the latter killed the Daitya as he sought to pull down Bhu Devi to Rasatala. In his own right, **Andhaka** was highly ill-famed having secured the boon of invincibility from Brahma, overthrew Indra and Devas from Swarga and made them shelterless besides tormenting Sages and the Virtuous. Devas, Brahma an Vishnu had all aproached Maha Deva as the atrocites of Andhaka became unbearable. Shiva was present at the battle field and asked Devas to fight but Andhaka became too powerful to Indra and Devas. Playfully, Maha Deva lifted up the Daitya and dangled and suspended him by the Trishula exposing him to the heat and high temperature of Surya Deva on the Sky. The Daitya realised the Supremacy of Maha Deva and commenced his Prayers. Shiva was pleased as Andhaka said: Bhagavan Deva Devesha! Bhaktaarthihara Shankara Twayi Bhaktihvpraseedesha yadi Deyo Varaschamey/ The Daitya was blessed by Maha Deva to secure the unique position of 'Ganaadhipatya'. Source Linga Purana]

Further Stanzas continued:

Prajangha named Maha Rakshasa attacked Ranaveera Vaanara Mukhya Sampati and Jambumaali Rakshasa faced Veera Hanuman with similar outcome of Angada-Indrajits. Nishaachara Vidyunmaali seated on his golden chariot was furious with the successive defeats of Rakasha Veeras and lashed at Sushena Vaanara with rains of arrows as Sushena was hurt badly and flew to a near by parvata shikhara in defence but pulled up a boulder, hurled on Vidyunmali as the latter's chariot, horses and the Rakshasa were crushed to earth. evam tair vānaraih śūraih śūrās te rajanīcarāh, dvandve vimrditās tatra daityā iva divaukasaiḥ/ bhallaiḥ khaḍgair gadābhiś ca śaktitomara paṭṭasaiḥ, apaviddhaś ca bhinnaś ca rathaiḥ sāmgrāmikair hayaih/ nihataih kuñjarair mattais tathā vānararāksasaih, cakrāksayugadandaiś ca bhagnair dharanisam'sritaih, babhūvāvodhanam ghoram gomāvuganasevitam/ kabandhāni samutpetur diksu vānararaksasām, vimarde tumule tasmin devāsuraranopame/ In this illustrative manner, the yuddha bhumi assumed a bhayaanaka swarupa, as bhalluka vaanara veeraas kept on resisting the Rakshasa prahaaras with lashes of arrow rains, Gada-Shakti-Tomara-Saayakas successfully retaliated by mountain rocks, maha vriksthas and well trained dwandva yudhhas. The frightening series of the day were reiterated as being similar to Rama Lashmana interface with Maha Kabanda of Valmiki Ramayana's Aranya Khandha reference or of Deva Danava Yuddhas series. Thus Rakhasa Maha Diggajas, Chariots, Mahaashwas, not to mention of foot soldiers were all despached to Yama Puri as at the devaasura samhara, much to the delight of owls, wild fox, dog and rat groups with the day fall and Sunset.

Sarga Forty Four

<u>During the night long Rakshasa Vanara Yuddha, Angada defeats Indrajit, but out a shame as the latter disappears by maaya and did 'naagaastra bandhanaastra prayoga' on Rama Lakshmanas.</u>

Yudhyatām eva teṣām tu tadā vānararakṣasām, ravir astam gato rātriḥ pravṛttā prāṇahāriṇī/ anyonyam baddhavairāṇām ghorāṇām jayam icchatām, sampravṛttam niśāyuddham tadā vāraṇarakṣasām/ rākṣaso 'sīti harayo hariś cāsīti rākṣasāḥ, anyonyam samare jaghnus tasmims tamasi dāruṇe/ jahi dāraya caitīti katham vidravasīti ca, evam sutumulaḥ śabdas tasmims tamasi śuśruve/ kālāḥ kāñcanasamnāhās tasmims tamasi rākṣasāḥ, samprādṛśyanta śailendrā dīptauṣadhivanā iva/ tasmims tamasi duṣpāre rākṣasāḥ krodhamūrchitāḥ, paripetur mahāvegā bhakṣayantaḥ plavamgamān/ te hayān kāñcanāpīḍan dhvajāmś cāgniśikhopamān, āplutya daśanais tīkṣṇair bhīmakopā vyadārayan/ kuñjarān kuñjarārohān patākādhvajino rathān, cakarṣuś ca dadamśuś ca daśanaiḥ krodhamūrchitāḥ/ lakṣmaṇaś cāpi rāmaś ca śarair āśīviṣomapaiḥ, dṛśyādṛśyāni rakṣāmsi pravarāṇi nijaghnatuḥ/ turamgakhuravidhvastam rathanemisamuddhatam, rurodha karṇanetrāṇiṇyudhyatām dharaṇīrajaḥ/ vartamāne tathā ghore samgrāme lomaharṣaṇe, rudhirodā mahāvegā nadyas tatra prasusruvuḥ/ tato bherīmṛdaṅgānām paṇavānām ca nisvanaḥ, śaṅkhaveṇusvanonmiśraḥ sambabhūvādbhutopamaḥ/ hatānām stanamānānām rākṣasānām ca nisvanaḥ, śastrāṇām vānarāṇām ca sambabhūvātidāruṇaḥ/ śastrapuṣpopahārā ca tatrāsīd yuddhamedinī, durjñeyā durniveśā ca śoṇitāsravakardamā/ sā babhūva niśā ghorā

harirāksasahārinī, kālarātrīva bhūtānām sarvesām duratikramā/ tatas te rāksasās tatra tasmims tamasi dārune, rāmam evābhyadhāvanta samhrstā śaravrstibhih/ tesām āpatatām śabdah kruddhānām abhigarjatām, udvarta iva saptānām samudrānām abhūt svanah/ tesām rāmaḥ śaraiḥ ṣaḍbhiḥ ṣaḍ jaghāna niśācarān, nimeṣāntaramātreṇa śitair agniśikhopamaih/ yajñaśatruś ca durdharṣo mahāpārśvamahodarau, vajradamstro mahākāvas tau cobhau śukasāranau/ te tu rāmena bānaughah sarvamarmasu tāḍitāḥ, yuddhād apasṛtās tatra sāvaśeṣāyuṣo 'bhavan/ tataḥ kāñcanacitrāṅgaiḥ śarair agniśikhopamaih, diśaś cakāra vimalāh pradiśaś ca mahābalah/ ye tv anye rākṣasā vīrā rāmasyābhimukhe sthitāḥ, te 'pi naṣṭāḥ samāsādya patamgā iva pāvakam/ suvarṇapuṅkhair viśikhaiḥ sampatadbhih sahasrasah, babhūva rajanī citrā khadyotair iva sāradī/ rāksasānām ca ninadair harīnām cāpi garjitaih, sā babhūva niśā ghorā bhūvo ghoratarā tadā/ tena śabdena mahatā pravṛddhena samantatah, trikūtah kandarākīrnah pravyāharad ivācalah/ golāngūlā mahākāyās tamasā tulyavarcasah, samparisvajya bāhubhyām bhaksayan rajanīcarān/ angadas tu rane satrum nihantum samupasthitah, rāvaņer nijaghānāśu sārathim ca hayān api/ Indrajit tu ratham tyaktvaa hatoscho hata saarathihn, Angadena mahaastastastatraivaantaradheeyat/ Tat karma vaaliputrasya sarve devaah sahashibhih, tushtuvah pujanaarhasya tu chobho Rama Lakshnanou/tatah prahushtaah kaayah Sugriva Vibhishanaah saaddhu ssadhvivati nedruscha drustv shatrum paraajitam/ Indrajit tu tadaanena nirjeeto bheemakarmanaa, samyuge Vaali putrena krodhasm chakjre sudaarunam/ Sontardhaana gatah paapo Raavano ranakaarshatah Brahma datta varo veero Raavanih krodha murchitah, adrushyo nishitaan baanaana mumochaashinavachasah/ Raamam cha Lakshmanam chiva ghorainaagamayah sharaih, vibheda samare kuddhah sarva gaatreshu Raakshasah/ Maayayaa samvritastra mohayan Raghavou yudhi, adrushyah sarva bhutaanaam kootayodhee nishasacharah, babandha sharabaddhhena bhraatarou Rama Lakshmanou/ tao tena parusha vyaaghrou kruddhenaasheevishah sharai, sahasaabhihatou veerou tadaa prekshanta vaanaraah/ Prakaasha rupastu yadaa na shaktastou baadhitum Rakshasa raaja putrah, maayaam prayoktum samupaagajaama babandha tou Rajasutou duraatmaa/

As the Suryastamaya was over and the night long battle was resumed. In the engulfing darkness, it was rather difficult who was a Rakashasa or otherwise. There were only the shoutings and screeches of kickings and feet thumpings with common yellings of 'kick him, kill him', 'cut him and slice him' and such brutalities. But the glitter of body kayachas and the ayudhas was a recognizable distinction. The anger and desperation of both the Maha Veeras was distinct. As heavy sounds of the chariots, horses and elephant force of maha Rakshasaas and the bare foot thumping and the hits of maha vrikshas and heavy of rocks was a distinctive signs of Maha Vanaras on their mighty shoulders and their rushed wallops were well realisable. laksmanaś cāpi rāmaś ca śarair āśīvisomapaih, drśyādrśyāni raksāmsi pravarāni nijaghnatuh/ turamgakhuravidhvastam rathanemisamuddhatam, rurodha karnanetrāninyudhyatām dharanīrajah/ vartamāne tathā ghore samgrāme lomaharṣane, rudhirodā mahāvegā nadyas tatra prasusruvuh/ While gigantic sized Rakshasaas resoted pratyaksha swarupas or getting invisible, Shri Rama Lakshmanas possess the art of viewing and identifying them distinctly and devastate the Rakshasaas. What with the haziness of the heaps of dust and sand by the chariots and horse thumpings, the warriors of Rakshasaas and Vaanara bhallukas alike, especially of the darkness of the 'kaala raatri', were literally blinded other wise. As the Maha Yuddhha was getting hitting the peak and pinnacle, there were 'rakta pravaahaas. tato bherīmṛdangānām panavānām ca nisvanah, śankhavenusvanonmiśrah sambabhūvādbhutopamah/ hatānām stanamānām rāksasānām ca nisvanah, śastrānām vānarānām ca sambabhūvātidārunah/ śastrapuspopahārā ca tatrāsīd yuddhamedinī, durjñeyā durniveśā ca śoṇitāsravakardamā/ sā babhūva niśā ghorā harirākṣasahāriṇī, kālarātrīva bhūtānām sarveṣām duratikramā/ Then the astounding sounds like 'megha garjanaas', drum soundings, and 'shankha naadaas' as further getting intensified by screams and 'artanaadaas' of the fallen heros either side were like of Pralaya Times. Several Vaanara Veeraas hit and fallen by the' shakti-shula-gadaadi prahaaraas' as also of Parvaakaara Rakshasa veeraas too intensified their dusted yet of steaming hot mixes of Rakshaa-Vaanara Veeras as though they received pushpas showered from the 'Veera Swargas'! Thus as the night long maha yuddha of Rakshasa -Vaanara Bhallukas continued proving that as an unusual Kaala Ratri of 'samasta praani samhara' since became relentless and further. Suddenly then six Rakshasaas viz. Yagina

shatru, Mahapaashva, Mahodara, Maha Kaaya, Vajradamshtra and Shuka Saaranas hiding themselves in the utter darkness attacked Shri Rama who was already busy showering his ever potent baana prahara on Rakshasas in hundreds. In ready response to their aggression released six 'bhayaanaka agni jwaalaa sahita visha purvaka mahaa baanas' and they ran away for life. The Meanwhile Angada during the process of Maha Rakshasa Samhara, attacked Ravana Kumara Indrajit as the latter was hurt even as his chariot was smashed to pieces and the maaha ashvas reached Yamaloka too. Indrajt then became invisible. Prashamashaa yogya Vaali Kumara Angada, Deva Rishi gana and Rama Lakshmanas too congratulated him. Then Sugriva-Vibhishanas too gave their heart felt greetings to Angada. As Angada put Indrajit to disgrace and shame the latter displaced bhayankara krodha. Indeed Indra jit had long before accomplished a boon of Brahma himself but was truly stunned tha a mere vanara disillusioned him and thus resorted to arrow rains for long but to no validity against Angada. Raamam cha Lakshmanam chiva ghorainaagamayai sharaih, vibheda samare kuddhah sarva gaatreshu Raakshasah/ Maayayaa samvritastra mohayan Raghavou yudhi, adrushyah sarva bhutaanaam kootayodhee nishasacharah, babandha sharabaddhhena bhraatarou Rama Lakshmanou/ tao tena parusha vyaaghrou kruddhenaasheevishah sharai, sahasaabhihatou veerou tadaa prekshanta vaanaraah/ Prakaasha rupastu yadaa na shaktastou baadhitum Rakshasa raaja putrah, maayaam prayoktum samupaagajaama babandha tou Rajasutou duraatmaa/As he was unable to retort with his baana varsha against Angada in his 'antadhaana ayastha' or of the state of invisibility on Angada any way, he diverted his anger on Rama Lakshmanas and hurt them. Both Rama Lakshmanas were hurt with the invisible arrows out of amazing suddeness from no where. Then by the play of Maya Devata as the nishachara Indrajit did succeed in binding Rama Lakshmanaas by 'sarpaakaara baana' or what is normally named 'naaga paasha'. Indeed in his 'nija swarupa', Indrajit could never ever face the Rama Lakshmanas but utilised the meanest and detestable 'maayopaaya' for the time being

Sarga Forty Five

As Rama Lakshmanas were tied down by 'Nagaastra' by Indrajit in hiding ,Vaanara Shreashthas tried to locate him who too were the victims of Indrajit's astras as the bewildered Maha Vanaras broke down too.

Sa tasya gatim anvicchan rājaputraḥ pratāpavān, dideśātibalo rāmo daśavānarayūthapān/ dvau susenasya dāyādau nīlam ca plavagarsabham, angadam vāliputram ca śarabham ca tarasvinam/ vinatam jāmbavantam ca sānuprastham mahābalam, rṣabham carṣabhaskandham ādideśa paramtapah/ te samprahrstā harayo bhīmān udyamya pādapān, ākāśam vivišuh sarve mārgāmānā diśo daśa/ tesām vegavatām vegam isubhir vegavattaraih, astravit paramāstrena vārayām āsa rāvanih/ tam bhīmavegā harayo nārācaih kṣatavikṣatāḥ, andhakāre na dadṛśur meghaiḥ sūryam ivāvṛtam/ rāmalakṣmaṇayor eva sarvamarmabhidaḥ śarān, bhṛśam āveśayām āsa rāvaṇiḥ samitimjayaḥ/ nirantaraśarīrau tu bhrātarau rāmalakṣmaṇau, kruddhenendrajitā vīrau pannagaiḥ śaratām gataiḥ/ tayoḥ kṣatajamārgeṇa susrāva rudhiram bahu, tāv ubhau ca prakāsete puspitāv iva kimsukau/ tatah parvantaraktākso bhinnāñjanacayopamah, rāyanir bhrātarau vākvam antardhānagato 'bravīt/ yudhyamānam anālaksvam śakro 'pi tridaśeśvaraḥ, drastum āsāditum vāpi na śaktaḥ kim punar yuvām/ prāvṛtāv iṣujālena rāghavau kankapatrinā, esa rosaparītātmā nayāmi yamasādanam/ evam uktvā tu dharmajñau bhrātarau rāmalaksmanau, nirbibheda śitair bānaih prajaharsa nanāda ca/bhinnāñjanacayaśyāmo visphārya vipulam dhanuh, bhūyo bhūyah śarān ghorān visasarja mahāmṛdhe/ tato marmasu marmajño majjayan niśitāñ śarān, rāmalakṣmaṇayor vīro nanāda ca muhur muhuh/ baddhau tu śarabandhena tāv ubhau raṇamūrdhani, nimeṣāntaramātreṇa na śekatur udīkṣitum/ tato vibhinnasarvāṅgau śaraśalyācitāv ubhau, dhvajāv iva mahendrasya rajjumuktau prakampitau/ tau sampracalitau vīrau marmabhedena karśitau, nipetatur maheşvāsau jagatyām jagatīpatī/ tau vīraśayane vīrau śayānau rudhirokṣitau, śaravestitasarvāngāv ārtau paramapīditau/ na hy aviddham tayor gātram babhūvāngulam antaram, nānirbhinnam na cāstabdham ā karāgrād ajihmagaih/ tau tu krūrena nihatau raksasā kāmarūpinā, asṛksusruvatus tīvram jalam prasravaṇāv iva/ papāta prathamam rāmo viddho marmasu mārgaṇaiḥ, krodhād indrajitā vena purā śakro vinirjitah/ nāracair ardhanārācair bhallair añjalikair api, vivvādha

vatsadantaiś ca simhadamṣṭraiḥ kṣurais tathā/ sa vīraśayane śiśye vijyam ādāya kārmukam, bhinnamuṣṭiparīṇāham triṇatam rukmabhūṣitam/ bāṇapātāntare rāmam patitam puruṣarṣabham, sa tatra lakṣmaṇo dṛṣṭvā nirāśo jīvite 'bhavat/ baddhau tu vīrau patitau śayānau; tau vānarāḥ samparivārya tasthuḥ, samāgatā vāyusutapramukhyā; viṣadam ārtāḥ paramam ca jagmuḥ/

Consequent on this disaster of Indrajit's maya proyoga of Nagaastra binding Shri Rama Lashmanas, then Shri Rama instructed ten vaanara yudhapatis to ascertain the whereabouts of Indrajit. Then the two sons of Sushena, Angada, Sharabha, Dwivida, Hanuman, Saanuprastha, Rishabha and Rishabhaskandha were instructed thus. The ten some Maha Vanaras carrying maha vrikshas on their shoulders flew up the skies in search of Indrajit. But Indrajit being aware of the purpose of the Vaanara's tensome, rained his astras on them and tried to stall their movement. He then subjected Rama Lakshmanas to the 'baana varsha' now under duress intensively. It seemed that there were no body parts of Rama Lakshmanas thus were not hurt and spared. Thus all their body parts oozed out flows of blood and flesh particles from their broad chests and body parts. Then in his continued 'antardhana avastha' Indrajit hecked Rama Lakshmanas: yudhyamānam anālakṣyam śakro 'pi tridaśeśvaraḥ, draṣṭum āsāditum vāpi na śaktaḥ kim punar yuvām/ prāvṛtāv iṣujālena rāghavau kaṅkapatriṇā, eṣa roṣaparītātmā nayāmi yamasādanam/ evam uktvā tu dharmajñau bhrātarau rāmalakṣmaṇau, nirbibheda sitair bāṇaiḥ prajaharṣa nanāda ca/evam uktvā tu dharmajñau bhrātarau rāmalaksmanau, nirbibheda śitair bānaih prajaharsa nanāda ca/ So called heros of 'dushta maanavas' you have been over arrogant and careless during the 'yuddha samaya'. Now you would not be ever think of Indra, thus be prepared as to soon reach Yama Loka. Having yelled at Rama Lakshmanas, Indrajit made 'vikataapahaasaas' or like loud and shameful hecklings as typical of Rakshasaas, then resumed 'baana varshas' on the 'marmashalas' of Rama Lahshmanas and attacked the vaanara sena again. tau sampracalitau vīrau marmabhedena karšitau, nipetatur mahesvāsau jagatyām jagatīpatī/ tau vīraśayane vīrau śayānau rudhiroksitau, śaravestitasarvāngāv ārtau paramapīditau/ na hy aviddham tayor gātram babhūvāngulam antaram, nānirbhinnam na cāstabdham ā karāgrād ajihmagaih/ Thus Rama Lakshmanas under duress were suffering the agony of the 'marmassthala bhedana' their bodies were looking like their 'marana shayyas' or their death body beds. On their bodies were not spared of even by inches. tau tu krūreņa nihatau rakṣasā kāmarūpiṇā, asṛksusruvatus tīvram jalam prasravaṇāv iva/ papāta prathamam rāmo viddho marmasu mārganaih, krodhād indrajitā vena purā śakro vinirjitah/As the Rakshasa Indrajit's wreck less 'baana prahaaras' hit the body parts of Rama Lakshmanas, there were flows of blood from their bodies. This was a situation similar to Indra's defeat in the hands of Indraiit as the former too was hurt in the 'marma sthala' and swooned down to earth.

[Vishleshana on Indrajit

Meghanada was an expert in magical warfare, sorcery and mantratanras besides Brahmaastra, Vaishnavaastra and pashupatastra by the boons of Brahma, married to Sulochana, the daughter of the Shesha Naaga. During the battle between the Devas and Ravana, Lord Indra, accompanied by Devas captured Ravana. To rescue his father, Meghanada attacked Indra and his elephant Airavat, defeated all the Devas, even Indra. Meghanada tied and mounted Indra onto his celestial chariot and dragged him to Ravana in Lanka. Ravana and Meghanada decided to kill Indra. At this juncture, Brahma intervened and asked Meghanada to free Indra. Meghanada obliged and was granted a boon from Brahma. Meghanada asked for immortality, but Brahma remarked that absolute immortality is against the law of the nature. Instead, he was then granted another boon that after the completion of the Yagna of Pratayangira or the 'Nikumbhila yagna' and get a celestial chariot, mounting on which, he could win over any enemy in war and become invulnerable. But Brahma also cautioned him that whosoever would destroy this yagna would also kill him. Brahma was highly impressed by Meghanada's valor in this war and it was he who gave him the name Indrajit, the conqueror of Indra. It is also believed that Meghanada was granted another boon by Brahma in which it was promised to him that he would only be killed by such a human who hadnot slept for twelve years. Indrajit was trained under the guidance of Daanava Rakshasa Guru Shukra and obtained several divine shastra astras. Shastras are weapon like sword, lance, mace or dics.

Astras include Mohana, Prahsmaana, Krouncha, Varshana, Shoshana, Santaapana, Paishaacha, Naaga, Garuda, Agneya, Varuna, Vayavya, Mohini, Brahma, Brahmanda, Paashupata, Naraayanaadi.]

<u>Further stanzas continued:</u>nāracair ardhanārācair bhallair añjalikair api, vivyādha vatsadantaiś ca simhadamṣṭraiḥ kṣurais tathā/Then Indrajit devastated the Vanara Bhalluka Sena gradually with his astras like Pankha, Naaraacha, Artha naaraacha, Bhalla, Anjalika; Vastyadanta, Kshura, and so on depending on the angles and forms of the arrows being released. As Rama Lakshmanas were then lying on their Maranaasana Shayyaas, Shri Rama who always solaces all of his devotees were lying, the totality of the Vanara Sena broke down in hysterics and frenzied panic. baddhau tu vīrau patitau śayānau; tau vānarāḥ samparivārya tasthuḥ, samāgatā vāyusutapramukhyā; viṣadam ārtāḥ paramam ca jagmuḥ/ As Rama Lakshmanas were thus sudued by the 'naaga paasha' Hanuman and such stalwart Rama Bhaktas were confounded senseless.

Sarga Forty Six

As Indrajit was yet in his invisibitity, avoiding the search party of Hanuman, hit Jambavan and other Vaarara Veeras, as Vibhishana pacified Sugriva as 'Satyameva Jayate', as Ravana praised Indrajit.

Tato dyām pṛthivīm caiva vīksamānā vanaukasah, dadrśuh samtatau bānair bhrātarau rāmalaksmanau vṛṣṭvevoparate deve kṛṭakarmaṇi rākṣase, aajagāmātha tam deśam sasugrīvo vibhīṣaṇah/ nīladvividamaindāś ca susenasumukhāṅgadāh, tūrnam hanumatā sārdham anvaśocanta rāghavau/ niścestau mandanihśvāsau śonitaughapariplutau, śarajālācitau stabdhau śayānau śaratalpayoh/ nihśvasantau yathā sarpau niścestau mandavikramau, rudhirasrāvadigdhāngau tāpanīyāv iva dhvajau/ tau vīraśayane vīrau śayānau mandacestitau, yūthapais taih parivṛtau bāspavyākulalocanaih/ rāghavau patitau drstvā śarajālasamāvṛtau, babhūvur vyathitāh sarve vānarāh savibhīsanāh/antariksam nirīksanto diśah sarvāś ca vānarāh, na cainam māyayā channam dadrśū rāvanim rane/ tam tu māyāpraticchinnam māyayaiva vibhīṣaṇaḥ,vīkṣamāṇo dadarśātha bhrātuḥ putram avasthitam/ tam apratima karmāṇam apratidvandvam āhave, dadarṣʿāntarhitam vīram varadānād vibhīṣanah/ indrajit tv ātmanah karma tau śayānau samīksya ca, uvāca paramaprīto harsayan sarvanairrtān/ dūsanasya ca hantārau kharasya ca mahābalau, sāditau māmakair bāṇair bhrātarau rāmalakṣmaṇau/ nemau mokṣayitum śakyāv etasmād isubandhanāt, sarvair api samāgamya sarsisanghaih surāsuraih/ yatkrte cintayānasya śokārtasya pitur mama, asprstvā śayanam gātrais triyāmā yāti śarvatī/ krtsneyam yatkrte lankā nadī varsāsv ivākulā,so 'yaṁ mūlaharo 'narthah sarvesāṁ nihato mayā/ Rāmasya laksmanasyaiva sarvesāṁ ca vanaukasām, vikramā nisphalāh sarve vathā śaradi toyadāh/ evam uktvā tu tān sarvān rāksasān paripārśvagān, yūthapān api tān sarvāms tāḍayām āsa rāvaṇih/ tān ardayitvā bāṇaughais trāsayitvā ca vānarān, prajahāsa mahābāhur vacanam cedam abravīt/ sarabandhena ghorena mayā baddhau camūmukhe, sahitau bhrātarāv etau niśāmayata rākṣasāḥ/ evam uktās tu te sarve rākṣasāḥ kūṭayodhinaḥ, param vismayam ājagmuh karmanā tena tositāh/ vineduś ca mahānādān sarve te jaladopamāh, hato rāma iti jñātvā rāvanim samapūjayan/ nispandau tu tadā drstvā tāv ubhau rāmalaksmanau, vasudhāvām nirucchvāsau hatāv ity anvamanyata/ harṣeṇa tu samāviṣṭa indrajit samitimjayaḥ, praviveśa purīm lankām harsayan sarvanairṛtān/ rāmalaksmanayor dṛstvā śarīre sāyakaiś cite, sarvāni cāngopāngāni sugrīvam bhayam āviśat/ tam uvāca paritrastam vānarendram vibhīsanah, sabāspavadanam dīnam śokavyākulalocanam/ alam trāsena sugrīva bāspavego nigrhyatām, evam prāyāni vuddhāni vijayo nāsti naisthikah/ saśesabhāgyatāsmākam yadi vīra bhavisyati, moham etau prahāsyete bhrātarau rāmalakṣmaṇau/ paryavasthāpayātmānam anātham mām ca vānara, satyadharmānuraktānām nāsti mṛtyukṛtam bhayam/ evam uktvā tatas tasya jalaklinnena pāṇinā, sugrīvasya śubhe netre pramamārja vibhīşaṇaḥ/ pramṛjya vadanam tasya kapirājasya dhīmataḥ, abravīt kālasamprātam asambhrāntam idam vacah/ na kālah kapirājendra vaiklavyam anuvartitum, atisneho 'py akāle 'smin maranāyopapadyate/ tasmād utsrjya vaiklavyam sarvakāryavināśanam, hitam rāmapurogānām sainyānām anucintyatām/ atha vā rakṣyatām rāmo yāvat samjñā viparyayah, labdhasamjñau tu kākutsthau bhayam no vyapaneṣyatah/ naitat kiṁ cana rāmasya na ca rāmo mumūrsati, na hy enaṁ hāsyate laksmīr durlabhā yā gatāyusām/

tasmād āśvāsayātmānam balam cāśvāsaya svakam, yāvat sarvāṇi sainyāni punaḥ samsthāpayāmy aham/
ete hy utphullanayanās trāsād āgatasādhvasāḥ, karṇe karṇe prakathitā harayo haripumgava/ mām tu
dṛṣṭvā pradhāvantam anīkam sampraharṣitum, tyajantu harayas trāsam bhuktapūrvām iva srajam/
samāśvāsya tu sugrīvam rākṣasendro vibhīṣaṇaḥ, vidrutam vānarānīkam tat samāśvāsayat punaḥ/
indrajit tu mahāmāyaḥ sarvasainyasamāvṛtaḥ, viveśa nagarīm lankām pitaram cābhyupāgamat/ tatra
rāvaṇam āsīnam abhivādya kṛtāñjaliḥ, ācacakṣe priyam pitre nihatau rāmalakṣmaṇau/ utpapāta tato
hṛṣṭaḥ putram ca pariṣasvaje, rāvaṇo rakṣasām madhye śrutvā śatrū nipātitau/ upāghrāya sa mūrdhny
enam papraccha prītamānasaḥ, pṛcchate ca yathāvṛttam pitre sarvam nyavedayat/ sa
harṣavegānugatāntarātmā; śrutvā vacas tasya mahārathasya, jahau jvaram dāśaratheḥ samutthitam;
prahṛṣya vācābhinananda putram/

The Vaanara shreshthas like Hanuman, Nala, Dvivida, Mainda, Sushena, Kumuda and Angada returned back and witnessed Rama Lakshmanas in a farmore miserable stage with blood ozing out from wounded body parts as all the Vaanaras were crying away surrounded the bodies as at the threshold of collapse yet breathing fast. Meanwhile Sugriva Vibhishanas returned from the battle front as they were intimated of the most serious crisis of Rama Lakshmanas as Indrajit attacked Rama Lakshmanas with 'Naaga Paasha Bandhana' and were shocked and stilled. Then Vibhishana by his own maya swarupa looking for Indrajit and glanced his nephew as Indrajit was engaged with the happiness of subduing Rama Lakshmanas addressing the co rakshasa veeraas! dūsanasya ca hantārau kharasya ca mahābalau, sāditau māmakair bāṇair bhrātarau rāmalakṣmaṇau/ nemau mokṣayitum śakyāv etasmād iṣubandhanāt, sarvair api samāgamya sarşisanghaih surāsuraih/ yatkrte cintayānasya śokārtasya pitur mama, asprstvā śayanam gātrais triyāmā yāti śarvatī/ 'Rakshasa Veeraas! Are you friends seeing the retributionary impact of Rama's killing of Khara Dushanas, and now along with Lakshmana I have since subjected by my successsful Naaga Bandhana Prayoga and placed them on their near death beds. Now the totality of Muni Samudaaya would not succeed in releasing them. In fact my dear father Maha Raja Rayana had been able to touch his bed for long as this 'anartha' of Rama's threat to his maha samrajya of Lankapuri now should be reversed back to peace and prosperity. Rāmasya lakṣmaṇasyaiva sarveṣām ca vanaukasām, vikramā nisphalāh sarve vathā saradi tovadāh/ evam uktvā tu tān sarvān rāksasān paripārsvagān, vūthapān api tān sarvāms tādavām āsa rāvanih/ What a pity that what all the great efforts that Rama Lakshmanas had been systematically made like the 'sharad ritu varshaas' have since been made like fragrant scents in heapl of ashes!' So pronoucing his self praise bravados, Indrajit resumed his 'baana prahaaraas' on the vaanara bhalluka veeraas. Then his arrows hit resulting in severe body injuries to Nala by nine arrow hits, Mainda and Dvividas along with three each arrows wer mortally hurt, Bhalluka Raja Janbavan's chest was split by one unique astra; Veera Hanuman was stilled by ten mahaastras, Gavaksha and Sharabha too were impaired by two each of the 'mantrikaastraas'. In such great excited enthusiasm, along with his co rakshasa veeraas, Golaanguleshwara Gavaksha and Vaali Putra Angada too were subjected to body injuries. Then with perverted gusto Meghanaada started hysteric dances on skies with thunderous garjanas with the thrill and ecstasy returned to Lankapuri. Then Sugriva yet to recover from his daze started shivers and broke down shattered, as Vibhishana pacified stating him: Sugriva! Don't you crumble down yet, wipe off your tears forthwith. We do sometimes get alarmed by such critical situations in battles as success and other wise are decided by Vidhaata. Let us pray and beseech that Rama Lakshmanas get relieved soon. paryavasthāpayātmānam anātham mām ca vānara, satyadharmānurak tānām nāsti mrtyukrtam bhayam/ Those who keep on clinging to the fudamental precepts of Dharma and Nyaaya are neither afraid of mrityu nor of ultimate vindication of success. Having thus pacified Sugriva, Vibhisina then asked to ensure the safety of the bodies of Rama Lakshmanas till they are reawaken. Assuredly once having been revived the Maha Raghu Vamshis would take ample care of this passing situation. Further, you should at once pass on this message to the Vanara Veeraas be courageous at such critical and passing situations common in the battles of dharma and adharma always.' Indrajit had by then having reached Lankapuri and King Ravana with this sensational news of Rama Lakshmana's near death with his 'NaagaastraPrayoga' enabling their swoon down nearing death! Then he described in detail the circumstances leading to the crisis of Vaanaras getting demoralised. Then Ravana was truly exhilarated, embraced and earnestly congratulated at the unprecedented and unbeliavable success!

Sarga Forty Seven

As Vaanaras safeguarded Rama Lakshmanas from naaga bandhana, Ravana instructed Trijati Rakhasi to show Sita by Pushpaka Vimaana, as she broke out crying away at the scene.

Pratipraviste lankām tu krtārthe rāvanātmaje, rāghavam parivāryārtā raraksur vānararsabhāh/ hanūmān angado nīlah susenah kumudo nalah, gajo gavākso gavayah śarabho gandhamādanah/ jāmbavānrsabhah sundo rambhah satabalih pṛthuh, vyūdhānīkās ca yattās ca drumān ādāya sarvatah/ vīksamānā disah sarvās tiryag ūrdhvam ca vānarāh, trnesv api ca cestatsu rāksasā iti menire/ rāvanaś cāpi samhṛsto visrjyendrajitam sutam, ājuhāva tatah sītā rakṣanī rākṣasīs tadā/ rākṣasyas trijaṭā cāpi śāsanāt tam upasthitāh, tā uvāca tato hrsto rāksasī rāksaseśvarah/ hatāv indrajitākhvāta vaidehvā rāmalaksmanau, puspakam ca samāropya darśayadhyam hatau rane/ yad āśrayād ayastabdho neyam mām upatisthati, so 'syā bhartā saha bhrātrā nirasto raṇamūrdhani/ nirviśankā nirudvignā nirapekṣā ca maithilī, mām upasthāsyate sītā sarvābharaṇabhūṣitā/ adya kālavaśam prāptam raṇe rāmam salakṣmaṇam, avekṣya vinivṛttāśā nānyām gatim apaśyatī/ tasya tadvacanam śrutvā rāvanasya durātmanah, rāksasyas tās tathety uktvā prajagmur yatra puspakam/ tatah puspakam ādaya rāksasyo rāvanājñayā, aśokavanikāsthām tām maithilīm samupānayan/ tām ādāya tu rākṣasyo bhartṛśokaparāyaṇām, sītām āropayām āsur vimānam puspakam tadā/ tataḥ puspakam āropya sītām trijaṭayā saha, rāvaṇo 'kārayal lankām patākādhvajamālinīm/ prāghosayata hrstas ca lankāyām rāksasesvarah, rāghavo laksmanas caiva hatāv indrajitā raņe/ vimānenāpi sītā tu gatvā trijaṭayā saha, dadarśa vānarāṇāṁ tu sarvaṁ sinyam nipātitam/ prahṛstamanasas cāpi dadarsa pisitāsanān, vānarāms cāpi duhkhārtān rāmalaksmanapārśvatah/ tatah sītā dadarśobhau śayānau śatatalpayoh/ laksmanam caiva rāmam ca visamjñau śarapīditau/ vidhvastakavacau vīrau vipraviddhaśarāsanau, sāyakaiś chinnasarvāngau śarastambhamayau kṣitau/ tau dṛṣṭvā bhrātarau tatra vīrau sā puruṣarṣabhau, duḥkhārtā subhṛśam sītā karuṇam vilalāpa ha/ sā bāṣpaśokābhihatā samīkṣya; tau bhrātarau devasamaprabhāvau, vitarkayantī nidhanam tayoh sā; duhkhānyitā vākyam idam jagāda/

As Indrajit returned to Ravana conveying his success, Maha Vaanara Yoddhas likr Hanuman, Angada, Nila, Sushana, Kumuda, Nala, Gaja, Gavaaksha, Gavaya, Gandhamaadana, Jambavaan, Rishabha, Skandha, Rambha, Shatabali, and Pruthu kept constant vigil armed with vrikshas, even as Rakshasas were ready to somehow destroy the bodies of Rama Lakshmanas. Elsewhere in Lankapuri after the exit of Indrajit, Ravana called for the Rakshasis engaged around Sita, as Trijata and so on and instructed them to go and inform Devi Sita that Rama Lakshmana's were almost dying as bound by Indrajit's 'naaga paasha' and about the consequent joy of the Maha Rakshasa Sena. Further select Rakshasis might take pushpaka Vimana and show Sita the exact stage of their dying bodies of Rama Lakshmanas. 'Then hopefully Devi Sita might approach me with no hesitation of Rama Lakshmana's concern and fall on my feet having been better dressed and with 'aabharanaas'. As the pushpaka vimana arrived at the Ashoka Vana, Sita on hearing the shocking tragedy hurried up getting into the Vimana by which she witnessed the entire Lanka - puri public in festive mood at the victory of King Ravana and his famed son Indarjit. Further she herself witnessed how Shri Rama Lakshmanas were actually tied by the Nagaastra with feeble breathing lying on earth while some of the Maha Vaanara Bhallukas were guarding the bodies. vidhvastakavacau vīrau vipraviddhaśarāsanau, sāyakaiś chinnasarvāngau śarastambhamayau kṣitau/ tau dṛṣṭvā bhrātarau tatra vīrau sā puruşarşabhau, duḥkhārtā subhṛśam sītā karuṇam vilalāpa ha/ sā bāspaśokābhihatā samīkṣya; tau bhrātarau devasamaprabhāvau, vitarkayantī nidhanam tayoḥ sā; duḥkhānvitā vākyam idam jagāda/ Both the Maha Veeras were lying with their kavachas destroyed, separated of their 'dhanur baanaas' as surrounded by Vaanara Shreshthas were lying on a bed. As those Mahottama Purushas of Kamala Nayana Shri Rama and the ever trust worthy Lakshamana like the Agni Putras of Shaakha and Vishakha were lying bound my Maha Sarpas, Devi Sita was dazed and broke down in hysterical cryings. She was unable to control her screamings as both the heroic bodies were dusted in a 'maranaasanna durvyavastha' and was drowned in deep distress!

Sarga Forty Eight

As Devi Sita was shocked and broke down in disbelief, she wondered whether Saamudrika Shastra -and Astrological Precepts were truthful as assuring final success, but Trijata assured so too yet with.hurdles. Bhartāram nihatam drstvā laksmanam ca mahābalam, vilalāpa bhrsam sītā karunam sokakarsitā/ ūcur laksanikā ye mām putriny avidhaveti ca, te 'sya sarve hate rāme 'jñānino 'nrtavādinah' yajvano mahisīm ye mām ūcuḥ patnīm ca satriṇaḥ, te 'dya sarve hate rāme 'jñānino 'nṛtavādinaḥ/ vīrapārthivapatnī tvam ye dhanyeti ca mām viduh, te 'dya sarve hate rāme 'jñānino 'nṛtavādinah/ ūcuh samsravane ye mām dvijāḥ kārtāntikāḥ śubhām, te 'dya sarve hate rāme 'jñānino 'nṛtavādinaḥ/ imāni khalu padmāni pādayor yaih kila striyah, adhirājye 'bhişicyante narendraih patibhih saha/ vaidhavyam yānti yair nāryo 'lakṣaṇair bhāgyadurlabhāḥ, nātmanas tāni paśyāmi paśyantī hatalakṣaṇā/ satyānīmāni padmāni strīṇām uktvāni laksane, tānv adva nihate rāme vitathāni bhavanti me/ keśāh sūksmāh samā nīlā bhruvau cāsamgate mama, vṛtte cālomaśe janghe dantāś cāviralā mama/ śankhe netre karau pādau gulphāv ūrū ca me citau, anuvṛttā nakhāḥ snigdhāḥ samāś cāṅgulayo mama/ stanau cāviralau pīnau mamemau magnacūcukau, magnā cotsanginī nābhih pārśvoraskam ca me citam/ mama varno maninibho mṛdūny angaruhāni ca, pratisthitām dvadaśabhir mām ūcuh śubhalaksanām/ samagrayavam acchidram pāṇipādam ca varṇavat, mandasmitety eva ca mām kanyālakṣaṇikā viduḥ/ adhirājye 'bhiṣeko me brāhmanaih patinā saha, krtāntakuśalair uktam tat sarvam vitathīkrtam/ śodhavitvā janasthānam pravrttim upalabhya ca, tīrtvā sāgaram aksobhyam bhrātarau gospade hatau/ nanu vāruṇam āgneyam aindram vāyavyam eva ca, astram brahmaśiraś caiva rāghavau pratyapadyatām/ adrśyamānena rane māyayā vāsavopamau, mama nāthāv anāthāyā nihatau rāmalaksmanau/ na hi dṛstipatham pṛāpya rāghavasya rane ripuh, jīvan pratinivarteta yady api syān manojavah/ na kālasyātibhāro 'sti krtāntaś ca sudurjayah, yatra rāmah saha bhrātrā śete yudhi nipāthitah/ nāham śocāmi bhartāram nihatam na ca lakşmanam, nātmānam jananī cāpi yathā śvaśrūm tapasvinīm/ sā hi cintayate nityam samāptavratam āgatam, kadā draksvāmi sītām ca rāmam ca sahalaksmanam/ paridevayamānām tām rāksasī trijatābravīt, mā visādam krthā devi bhartāvam tava jīvati/ kāranāni ca vaksvāmi mahānti sadršāni ca, yathemau jīvato devi bhrātarau rāmalakṣmaṇau/ na hi kopaparītāni harṣaparyutsukāni ca, bhavanti yudhi yodhānām mukhāni nihate patau/ idam vimānam vaidehi puspakam nāma nāmatah, divyam tvām dhārayen nedam yady etau gajajīvitau/ hatavīrapradhānā hi hatotsāhā nirudyamā, senā bhramati samkhyesu hatakarneva naur jale/ iyam punar asambhrāntā nirudvignā tarasvinī, senā raksati kākutsthau māyayā nirjitau rane/ sā tvam bhava suvisrabdhā anumānaih sukhodayaih, ahatau pasya kākutsthau snehād etad bravīmi te/anṛtam noktapūrvam me na ca vakṣye kadā cana, cāritrasukhaśīlatvāt praviṣṭāsi mano mama/ nemau śakyau rane jetum sendrair api surāsuraih, etayor ānanam drṣṭvā mayā cāveditam tava/ idam ca sumahac cihnam sanaih pasyasva maithili, niḥsamjñāv apy ubhāv etau naiva lakṣmīr viyuiyate/ prāyena gatasattvānām purusānām gatāvusām, dršvamānesu vaktresu param bhavati vaikrtam/ tvaja śokam ca duhkham ca moham ca janakātmaje, rāmalaksmanavor arthe nādva śakvam ajīvitum/ śrutvā tu vacanam tasyāḥ sītā surasutopamā, krtānjalir uvācedam evam astv iti maithilī/ vimānam puspakam tat tu samivartya manojavam, dīnā trijatavā sītā lankām eva praveśitā/ tatas trijatavā sārdham puṣpakād avaruhya sā, aśokavanikām eva rakṣasībhiḥ praveśitā/ praviśya sītā bahuvṛkṣaṣaṇḍāṁ; tāṁ rāksasendrasya vihārabhūmim, sampreksya samcintya ca rājaputrau; param visādam samupājagāma/

As Devi Sita herself witnessed the 'naaga bandha shareeras' by the 'pushpaka vimana' as were surrounded by the Vaha Vaanara Shreshthas guarding the swooned bodies of Shri Rama Lakshmanas, she was shocked, bewildered and heart broken with non stop bursts of cryings stating that Saamudrika Vidwans projected that thier longevity was far beyond thousanads of years, whether their predictions were being falsified! They also predicted that Shri Rama as accomopanied by me he would keep on performing innumerable yagja kaaryaas along with me for several centuries and could that be proved wrong too! vaidhavyam yānti yair nāryo 'lakṣaṇair bhāgyadurlabhāḥ, nātmanas tāni paśyāmi paśyantī

hatalakṣaṇā/ satyānīmāni padmāni strīṇām uktvāni lakṣaṇe, tāny adya nihate rāme vitathāni bhavanti me/ What all ashubha lakshanas either in my body structurer or mentality are none, yet what all shubha lakshanas are prescribed are clearly visible on my face and physique could the entire <u>Samudrika Shasra</u> be falsified by early widowhood!

[Vishleshana on Samudrika Shastra: on women in general: 'Padmini, Chatrini, Shankhini and Hastini are four kinds of women. Padmini, or Lotus-woman has a pleasing face as the full moon; her body with soft flesh, head like mustard-flower; her skin is tender and fair as the yellow lotus, never dark-coloured, though resembling, in the effervescence and purple light of her youth, the cloud about to burst. Her eyes are bright and beautiful as the orbs of the fawn, well-cut, and with reddish corners. Her bosom is hard, full and high; her neck is goodly shaped as the conch-shell, so delicate that the saliva can be seen through it; her nose is straight and lovely, and three folds of wrinkles cross her middle, about the umbilical region. Her Yoni resembles the open lotus-bud, and her Love-seed (Kama-salila, the water of life) is perfumed like the lily which has newly burst. She walks with swanlike gait, and her voice is low and musical as the note of the Kokila-bird; she delights in white raiment, in fine jewels, and in rich dresses. She eats little, sleeps lightly and, being as respectable and religious, she is clever and courteous, she is ever anxious to worship the gods, and to enjoy the conversation of Brahmans. Such, then, is the Padmini, or Lotuswoman. Samudrika Shastra further prescribes the grace of a woman's body as raised, smooth and soft as a lotus flower, without veins showing up and with no visible hair is the sign of a Queen. Veins showing up indicates that she will have to travel a lot. Hair on feet denotes servitude and if feet are lean, bony or without flesh, it is an indication that she is sexually undesirable. Even heels denote that she is good for companionship; Stout undesirable sexually; High loose in character and Long of misery. Legs (portion below knee) Even, smooth, without hair, without veins showing up, are signs of a girl destined to enjoy life fully. Knees Round, smooth, good looking knees are lucky indications. Loose knees indicate poverty. Bony knees without flesh connote loose character. Thighs:Fleshy, round, like an elephant's trunk or the trunk of a plantain tree, spacing between thighs being very little, without hair, denote that she is good enough to be married by a King. Waist circumference not exceeding the width of 24 fingers (approx. 15 to 16") with well developed hips denote full happiness. Flat, long, without flesh, caved in or hairy waist forebodes widowhood and misery. Hips Raised fleshy hips (like water melon) and well spread indicate full happiness. Sexual Organ Hidden, pink coloured, curved like the back of tortoise or an elephant's trunk and smooth is highly auspicious. If shaped like the feet or deer or furnace, with hard hair, indicates evil. If the left side is raised, she will beget more girl children while a raised right side denotes more boys. If the organ is shaped like a conch, she will be barren. Bottom of Stomach (portion below navel) is Soft, spread out and slightly raised is highly auspicious. Hairy, veins showing up and full of lines (folds or wrinkles) indicate misery. Navel Deep, with right turn is auspicious. Raised with left turn is inauspicious. Sides of Stomach Well spread indicates many sons. If sides resemble that of a frog's, her son will become a King. Raised sides indicate childlessness. Fold/wrinkle denote slavish tendency. Long sides denote birth of a Sandow. Ribs Good luck will result if the portion covering ribs is smooth and fleshy' Chest even and without hair is lucky and auspicious. Breasts Of equal size, fleshy, round and firm but close together are lucky. Raised right breast indicates many sons; left breast, if raised, indicates more of girls. If the portion surrounding the partition is round and good looking, good luck. Pressed in or unusually small indicates bad luck. Shoulders: Even, well built and without the joints showing up are lucky signs. Armpits Soft, with small smooth hair is lucky; deep, full of perspiration and showing out veins in unlucky. Arms Fleshy, soft, round and with veins not showing is lucky. If thumbs take the shape of a lotus bud, she is fit to be married by a King. Bent or bony denotes bad luck. Palms Red, raised in the middle, fingers evenly spaced with few lines on palm is a very auspicious sign. Back of Hands Soft without hair, well-built is lucky]

Stanzas further: satyānīmāni padmāni strīṇām uktvāni lakṣaṇe, tāny adya nihate rāme vitathāni bhavanti me/ keśāḥ sūkṣmāḥ samā nīlā bhruvau cāsaṃgate mama, vṛtte cālomaśe jaṅghe dantāś cāviralā mama/ Shnkhe netre karau pādau gulphāv ūrū ca me citau, anuvṛttā nakhāḥ snigdhāḥ samāś cāṅgulayo mama/ stanau cāviralau pīnau mamemau magnacūcukau, magnā cotsaṅginī nābhiḥ pārśvoraskam ca me citam/

To all the womanhood, the signs of hands and feet are distinctive lotus like and Maka Vidwans asserted as unique, and in case Shri Rama were be killed as a flash then the assertiveness of Vidwans would be falsified. My head hairs are thick black, uniform, and long and the shape of knees is round and hairless and the teeth are even and sparkling. My eyes, hands, feet, are well shaped and so are my hand fingers and nails too. My breasts are firm and well rounded yet subdued and 'naabhi' is deep as the surrounding areas are proportionately broad ad well shaped. My anga 'kaanti' is akin to a prized 'mani', while body hairs are soft and foot fingers are nicely pressed down to the ground. As per Jyotisha Siddhhanta, my dear husband along with me should be blessed with Rajyabhisheka soon and indeed that could not be falsified either. As my dear husband along with Lakshmana were away by the lure of chasing the maya mriga, I was kidnapped yet they traced me at Lankapuri, crossed the Maha Samudra and fighting an dharma yuddha to vindicate justice. But now Indrajit used a technique maaya prayoga of disappearance and utilised 'naaga bandhanopaaya' under which both the brothers are under duress facing death. nāham śocāmi bhartāram nihatam na ca lakṣmaṇam, nātmānam jananī cāpi yathā śvaśrūm tapasvinīm/ sā hi cintayate nityam samāptavratam āgatam, kadā drakṣyāmi sītām ca rāmam ca sahalakṣmaṇam/ I am now therefore crying away not merely for my sake, but equally so for the sake of their mothers.' As Devi Sita was crying away, Rakshasi Trijata then pacified Sita Devi thus:idam vimānam vaidehi puspakam nāma nāmataḥ, divyam tvām dhārayen nedam yady etau gajajīvitau/ hatavīrapradhānā hi hatotsāhā nirudyamā, senā bhramati samkhyesu hatakarneva naur jale/ iyam punar asambhrāntā nirudvignā tarasvinī, senā raksati kākutsthau māyayā nirjitau rane/ sā tvam bhava suvisrabdhā anumānaih sukhodayaih, ahatau paśya kākutsthau snehād etad bravīmi te/anṛtam noktapūrvam me na ca vakṣye kadā cana, cāritrasukhaśīlatvāt praviṣṭāsi mano mama/ 'Videha nandini! Even this pushpaka vimana being a celestial gift too would not be able to tolerate your 'vaidhavya' in case of any untowardness to Rama the hero of popularity and to Lakshmana the most trusted brother. Besides, it is understandable as their Leader Shri Rama as also Lakshmana get controlled by naga paasha, his sena too would get upset without drive and enthusiasm like the prime boatsman gets gagged and controlled, the boat travellers get dis spirited with anxiety and fear. Once the leader gets relieved the boat gets stabilized then it should be accelerated with full speed to reach the destination with success! Hence may I assure you that both the brothers of bravery and fame ought to be revived most certainly. Be thus be ready to soon await with a little patience. Mithileshwari, by your very physical perfection and mental make up of fortitude, tolerance and general nature, I do assert that your Rama Lakshmanas would finally accomplish their task on hand pretty soon.' Then Devi Sita replied to Rakshasi Trijata with folded hands and said: 'Sister may this dream materialise soon!, as the Pushpaka Vimana flew back to Ashoka Vaatika of Lankapuri.

Sarga Forty Nine

All of sudden Shri Rama with his physical and mental strength tore off the 'naaga pasha' but was distressed to see Lakshmana could not and kept on crying missing him and got readied even to retreat!

Ghoreṇa śarabandhena baddhau daśarathātmajau, niśvasantau yathā nāgau śayānau rudhirokṣitau/
sarve te vānaraśreṣṭhāḥ sasugrīvā mahābalāḥ, parivārya mahātmānau tasthuḥ śokapariplutāḥ/ etasminn
antere rāmaḥ pratyabudhyata vīryavān, sthiratvāt sattvayogāc ca śaraiḥ samdānito 'pi san/ tato dṛṣṭvā
sarudhiram viṣaṇṇam gāḍham arpitam, bhrātaram dīnavadanam paryadevayad āturaḥ/ kim nu me sītayā
kāryam kim kāryam jīvitena vā, śayānam yo 'dya paśyāmi bhrātaram yudhi nirjitam/ śakyā sītā samā nārī
prāptum loke vicinvatā, na lakṣmaṇasamo bhrātā sacivaḥ sāmparāyikaḥ/ parityakṣyāmy aham prāṇān
vānarāṇām tu paśyatām, yadi pañcatvam āpannaḥ sumitrānandavardhanaḥ/ kim nu vakṣyāmi kausalyām
mātaram kim nu kaikayīm, katham ambām sumitrāmca putradarśanalālasām/ vivatsām vepamānām ca
krośantīm kurarīm iva, katham āśvāsayiṣyāmi yadi yāṣyāmi tam vinā/ katham vakṣyāmi śatrughnam
bharatam ca yaśasvinam, mayā saha vanam yāto vinā tenāgataḥ punaḥ/ upālambham na śakṣyāmi
soḍhum bata sumitrayā,ihaiva deham tyakṣyāmi na hi jīvitum utsahe/ dhin mām duṣkṛtakarmāṇam
anāryam yatkṛte hy asau, lakṣmaṇaḥ patitaḥ śete śaratalpe gatāsuvat/ tvam nityam suviṣaṇṇam mām
āśvāsayasi laksmana, gatāsur nādya śaknosi mām ārtam abhibhāsitum/ venādya bahavo vuddhe rāksasā

nihatāh ksitau, tasyām eva ksitau vīrah sa sete nihatah paraih/ sayānah saratalpe 'smin svaśonitapariplutah, śarajālaiś cito bhāti bhāskaro 'stam iva vrajan/ bānābhihatamarmatvān na śaknoty abhivīkṣitum, rujā cābruvato hy asya dṛṣṭirāgeṇa sūcyate/ yathaiva mām vanam yāntam anuyāto mahādyutiḥ, aham apy anuyāsyāmi tathaivainam yamakṣayam/iṣṭabandhujano nityam mām ca nityam anuvratah, imām adva gato 'vasthām mamānārvasva durnavaih/ surustenāpi vīrena laksmanenā na samsmare, paruṣam vipriyam vāpi śrāvitam na kadā cana/ Visarjaikavegena pancha baana shataanicha,ishvastreshtaadikastasmaat kaattaveeryaascha Lakshmanah/ Asmin muhūrte sugrīva pratiyātum ito 'rhasi, matvā hīnam mayā rājan rāvaņo 'bhidraved balī/ angadam tu puraskṛtya sasainyaḥ sasuhrijanah, sāgaram tara sugrīva punas tenaiva setunā/krtam hanumatā kāryam yad anyair duskaram rane, ṛksarājena tusyāmi golāṅgūlādhipena ca/ aṅgadena kṛtaṁ karma maindena dvividena ca, yuddhaṁ kesarinā samkhye ghoram sampātinā kṛtam/ gavayena gavāksena śarabhena gajena ca, anyaiś ca haribhir yuddham madārthe tyaktajīvitaih/ na cātikramitum śakyam daivam sugrīva mānusaih, yat tu śakyam vayasyena suhṛdā vā paramtapa, kṛtam sugrīva tat sarvam bhavatādharmabhīruṇā/ mitrakāryam krtam idam bhayadbhir yānararsabhāh, anujñātā mayā sarve yathestam gantum arhatha/ śuśruyus tasya te sarve vānarāh paridevitam, vartayām cakrur aśrūni netraih krsnetareksanāh/ tatah sarvāny anīkāni sthāpayitvā vibhīṣaṇah, ājagāma gadāpāṇis tvarito yatra rāghavaḥ/ tam dṛṣṭvā tvaritam yāntam nīlāñjanacayopamam, vānarā dudruvuh sarve manyamānās tu rāvanim/

As Shri Rama Lakshmanas were tied together by the hissing visha purita maha naagas, the Sugrivaadi Maha Vaanara Yoddhhas were sunk deep in distressful mournings. They screamed high crying as to what could now be the fate of Devi Sita as she too returned back to Lankapuri and as to what ever could happen her looking dazed and forlorn agitated. etasminn antere rāmaḥ pratyabudhyata vīryavān, sthiratvāt sattvayogāc ca śaraiḥ samdānito 'pi san/ tato dṛṣṭvā sarudhiram viṣaṇṇam gāḍham arpitam, bhrātaram dīnavadanam parvadevavad āturah/ kim nu me sītayā kāryam kim kāryam jīvitena vā, śayānam yo 'dya paśyāmi bhrātaram yudhi nirjitam/ śakyā sītā samā nārī prāptum loke vicinvatā, na lakṣmaṇasamo bhrātā sacivaḥ sāmparāyikaḥ/ Suddenly, Shri Rama severed the 'naaga paasha' and found that Lakshmana was not wriggle out of it. Then Rama cried out looking at Lakshmana with still tied down with hissing sarpas, he cried out stating: 'It might be perhaps possible to locate a maha saadhvi pativrata like Devi Sita on the face earth and humanity, but is it ever feasible to locate a swami bhakta like Lakshmana my very shadow! Would it not be feasible if I were to resort to 'praana tyaaga' to substitute the life of Lakshmana! kim nu vaksyāmi kausalyām mātaram kim nu kaikayīm, katham ambām sumitrāmca putradarśanalālasām/ vivatsām vepamānām ca krośantīm kurarīm iva, katham āśvāsayisyāmi yadi yāsyāmi tam vinā/katham vaksyāmi śatrughnam bharatam ca yaśasvinam, mayā saha vanam yāto vinā tenāgatah punah/ upālambham na śaksyāmi sodhum bata sumitrayā,ihaiva deham tyakṣyāmi na hi jīvitum utsahe/ How indeed could I ever return to Ayodhya without Lakskamana to my mothers Koushalya and Sumitra. What could be the condition of Bharata Shatrugnas. As Rama was still crying away thus as a cow bereft of a calf. Is it at all really possible for me keep sustained ever without Lakshmana! If this tragedy continues then my life is truly futile and aimless. Rama continued further thus: Lakshmana! As and when I had been losing my heart, you had always diluted my distressed feelings, but if your own life is at stake what way out for my survival and it should be impossibe for me live any further. These poisoned arrows must have certainly disabled your 'marma sthalas' and thus not able to speak to me. Other wise he should by now displayed his roudra swarupa by now. Lakshmana could release with swiftness and extreme precision over five hundreds arrows in a bunch and thus in his dhanur vidya he could surpass Kartaveeryaarjuna too. Look at him now on bare dusty ground who could even put Indra to embarrasment and surprise! It is a shame that without Lakshmana beside me, I am a zero instead of being a hero, so Vibhisana's rajyabhisheka might not be possibe and Vanara King Sugriva might retreat with his 'maha vaanara veeraas' while Ravana might heckle and disgrace my inability to face him in the absence of Lakshmana beside him.' Thus Shri Rama was truly distressed with the absence of Lakshmana still bound by the 'naaga paasha'.

Sarga Fifty

<u>Vibhishana distressed at Lakshmana unrecovered, Rama decides to withdraw from the battle; Sushena advises Hanuman to get herbs from Sanjeevani Parvata-Garuda lands frees from 'naaga bandhana'</u>

Athovāca mahātejā harirājo mahābalah, kim iyam vyathitā senā mūdhavāteva naur jale/ sugrīvasya vacaḥ śrutvā vāliputro 'ngado 'bravīt, na tvam paśyasi rāmam ca lakṣmaṇam ca mahābalam/ śarajālācitau vīrāv ubhau daśarathātmajau, śaratalpe mahātmānau śayānau rudhirokṣitau/ athābravīd vānarendrah sugrīvah putram angadam, nānimittam idam manye bhavitavyam bhavena tu/ visannavadanā hy ete tyaktapraharanā diśah, prapalāyanti harayas trāsād utphullalocanāh/anyonyasya na lajjante na nirīksanti pṛsthatah, viprakarsanti cānyonyam patitam laṅghayanti ca/ etasminn antare vīro gadāpānir vibhīsanah, sugrīvam vardhayām āsa rāghavam ca niraiksata/ vibhīsanam tam sugrīvo drstvā vānarabhīsanam, rksarājam samīpastham jāmbavantam uvāca ha/ vibhīsano 'yam samprāpto yam dṛṣṭvā vānararṣabhāḥ, vidravanti paritrastā rāvaṇātmajaśaṅkayā/ śīghram etān suvitrastān bahudhā vipradhāvitān, paryavasthāpayākhyāhi vibhīṣaṇam upasthitam/ sugrīveṇaivam uktas tu jāmbavān rksapārthivah, vānarān sāntvavām āsa samnivartva prahāvatah/ te nivrttāh punah sarve vānarās tyaktasambhramāḥ, rkṣarājavacaḥ śrutvā tam ca drṣṭvā vibhīṣaṇam/ vibhīṣaṇas tu rāmasya drṣṭvā gātram śaraiś citam, lakṣmaṇasya ca dharmātmā babhūva vyathitendriyaḥ/ jalaklinnena hastena tayor netre pramrjya ca, śokasampīditamanā ruroda vilalāpa ca/ imau tau sattvasampannau vikrāntau priyasamyugau, imām avasthām gamitau rākasaih kūtayodhibhih/ bhrātuh putrena me tena dusputrena durātmanā, rākṣasyā jihmayā buddhyā chalitāv rjuvikramau/ śarair imāv alam viddhau rudhireņa samukṣitau, vasudhāyām ima suptau dṛśyete śalyakāv iva/ yayor vīryam upāśritya pratiṣṭhā kāṅkṣitā mayā, tāv ubhau dehanāśāya prasuptau puruṣarṣabhau/ jīvann adya vipanno 'smi nastarājyamanorathaḥ, prāptapratijñaś ca ripuḥ sakāmo rāvaṇaḥ kṛtaḥ/ evam vilapamānam tam parisvajya vibhīsanam, sugrīvah sattvasampanno harirājo 'bravīd idam/ rājyam prāpsyasi dharmajña lankāyām nātra samsayah, rāvanah saha putrena sa rājyam neha lapsyate/sarasampīditāv etāv ubhau rāghavalaksmanau, tyaktvā moham vadhisyete saganam rāvanam rane/ tam evam sāntvayitvā tu samāśvāsya ca rākṣasam, suṣeṇam śvaśuram pārśve sugrīvas tam uvāca ha/ saha śūrair harigaṇair labdhasamiñāv arimdamau, gaccha tvam bhrātarau grhya kişkindhām rāmalakşmaṇau/aham tu rāvaṇam hatvā saputram sahabāndhavam, maithilīm ānavisvāmi śakro nastām iva śrivam/ śrutvaitad vānarendrasya suṣeṇo vākyam abravīt, devāsuram mahāyuddham anubhūtam sudāruṇam/ tadā sma dānavā devāñ śarasamsparśakovidāh, nijaghnuh śastravidusaś chādayanto muhur muhuh/ tān ārtān nastasamjñāmś ca parāsūmś ca brhaspatih, vidhyābhir mantrayuktābhir osadhībhiś cikitsati/ tāny ausadhāny ānayitum ksīrodam yāntu sāgaram, javena vānarāh śīghram sampāti panasādayah/ harayas tu vijānanti pārvatī te mahausadhī, samjīvakaranīm divyām viśalyām devanirmitām/ candraś ca nāma dronaś ca parvatau sāgarottame, amrtam yatra mathitam tatra te paramauṣadhī/ te tatra nihite devaih parvate paramauşadhī, ayam vāyusuto rājan hanūmāms tatra gacchatu/ etasminn antare vāyur meghāms cāpi savidyutah, paryasyan sāgare toyam kampayann iva parvatān/ mahatā pakṣavātena sarve dvīpamahādrumāh, nipetur bhagnavitapāh samūlā lavanāmbhasi/ abhavan pannagās trastā bhoginas tatravāsinah, śīghram sarvāni vādāmsi jagmuś ca lavanārnavam/ tato muhūrtad garudam vainatevam mahābalam, vānarā dadrsuḥ sarve jvalantam iva pāvakam/ tam āgatam abhiprekṣya nāgās te vipradudruvuh, yais tau satpurusau baddhau śarabhūtair mahābalau/ tatah suparnah kākutsthau drstvā pratyabhinandya ca, vimamarśa ca pānibhyām mukhe candrasamaprabhe/ vainateyena samspṛstās tayoh samruruhur vranāh, suvarne ca tanū snigdhe tayor āśu babhūvatuh/ tejo vīryam balam cauja utsāhaś ca mahāguṇāḥ, pradarśanam ca buddhiś ca smṛtiś ca dviguṇam tayoh/ tāv utthāpya mahāvīryau garuḍo vāsavopamau, ubhau tau sasvaje hṛṣṭau rāmaś cainam uvāca ha/ bhavatprasādād vyasanam rāvaṇiprabhavam mahat, āvām iha vyatikrāntau śīghram ca balinau kṛtaw yathā tātam daśaratham yathājam ca pitāmaham, tathā bhavantam āsādya hṛṣayam me prasīdati/ ko bhavān rūpasampanno divyasraganulepanah,vasāno viraje vastre divyābharanabhūsitah/ tam uvāca mahātejā vainateyo mahābalah, patatrirājah prītātmā harsaparyākuleksanah/ aham sakhā te kākutstha priyah prāno bahiścarah, garutmān iha samprāpto yuvayoh sāhyakāraṇāt/ asurā vā mahāvīryā dānavā vā mahābalāh, surāś cāpi sagandharvāh puraskrtva śatakratum/ nemam moksavitum śaktāh śarabandham sudārunam,

māyā balād indrajitā nirmitam krūrakarmanā/ ete nāgāh kādraveyās tīksnadamstrāvisolbanāh, raksomāyā prabhāvena śarā bhūtvā tvadāśritāh/ sabhāgyaś cāsi dharmajña rāma satyaparākrama, lakṣmaṇena saha bhrātrā samare ripughātinā/ imam śrutvā tu vṛttāntam tvaramāṇo 'ham āgataḥ, sahasā yuvayoh snehāt sakhitvam anupālayan/ mokṣitau ca mahāghorād asmāt sāyakabandhanāt, apramādas ca kartavyo yuvābhyām nityam eya hi/ prakrtyā rāksasāh sarve samgrāme kūtavodhinah, śūrānām śuddhabhāvānām bhavatām ārjavam balam/ tan na viśvasitavyam vo rākṣasānām raṇājire, etenaivopamānena nityajihmā hi rākṣasāḥ/ evam uktvā tato rāmam suparņaḥ sumahābalaḥ, pariṣvajya suhrtsnigdham āprastum upacakrame/ sakhe rāghava dharmajña ripūnām api vatsala, abhvanujñātum icchāmi gamisyāmi yathāgatam/ bālavrddhāvaśesām tu lankām krtvā śarormibhih, rāvanam ca ripum hatvā sītām samupalapsyase/ itv evam uktvā vacanam suparnah śīghravikramah, rāmam ca virujam kṛtvā madhye tesām vanaukasām/ pradaksinam tatah kṛtvā parisvajya ca vīryavān, jagāmākāśam āviśya suparnah pavano yathā/ virujau rāghavau drstvā tato vānarayūthapāh, simhanādāms tadā nedur lāṅgūlaṁ dudhuvuś ca te/ tato bherīḥ samājaghnur mṛdaṅgāṁś ca vyanādayan, dadhmuḥ śaṅkhān samprahrstāh ksvelanty api yathāpuram/āsphotyāsphotya vikrāntā vānarā nagayodhinah, drumān utpātya vividhāms tasthuh śatasahasraśah/ visrjanto mahānādāms trāsayanto niśācarān, lankādvārāny upājagmur yoddhukāmāḥ plavamgamāḥ/ tatas tu bhīmas tumulo ninādo; babhūva śākhāmṛgayūthapānām, kṣaye nidāghasya yathā ghanānām; nādaḥ subhīmo nadatām niśīthe/

Vaanara Raja Sugriva reacted and addressed the Vaanara-bhalluka sena, pursuant to the volatile situation of Lakshmana's non release of the 'naaga paasha' and Shri Rama 'Vilaapa' leading to the consequential crisis of Rama's proposed retreat from the maha sangrama in the absence of Lakshmana. Sugriva stated: Vaanaras, just as a boat might get readied to sink due to a vortex in the deep waters, our mission of Ravana Samhara seems to be in trouble. Then the quick witted Angada replied that was this crisis due it Rama's inability to proceed further as Lakshmana still needed to be recoverd from the 'naaga paasha'! Sigriva replied: 'dear son Angada! Yes, there is undesirable confusion in the vaanara sena right now! Vibhishana then stood up having lifted his heavy mace up to his shoulders and approached Sugriva. Then the Vaanara sena was shocked to mistake Vibhishana as Indrajit, while Jaambavan corrected the Vaanaras not to confuse Vibhishana as Indrajit. As Vibhishana was nodoubt happy at Shri Rama's recovery but not of Lakshmana as yet. Sugriva then explained to Vibhishana the late arrival to the scene that as Rama who was able to tear off the naaga bandhana noticed that Lakshmana was still not do so, Rama felt that in the absence of Lakshmana would not fight without Lakshmana and suggested the retreat of Sugriva and his sena back to kishkindha. Then Vibhishana cried out then stating that shatru Rayan falsified his hopes of rajyabhisheka as he promised recovery of Devi Sita. Then Sugriva embraced Vibhishana and asserted: rājyam prāpsyasi dharmajña lankāyām nātra samsayah, rāvanah saha putrena sa rājyam neha lapsyate/ śarasampīditāv etāv ubhau rāghavalaksmaṇau, tyaktvā moham vadhisyete sagaṇam rāvaṇam raṇe/ Dharmagina Vibhishana! Be assured that your rajyabhishaka should be a reality. Along with Indrajit, Ravana ought to be devastated. Once Rama Lakshmanas are finally relieved of this 'naaga bandhana', then being seated on the back of garuda deva, they should destroy Ravana and his followers.' As Sugriva asserted thua and assured Vibhishana, Sugriva asked Vanara Sushena nearby and instructed him that let Rama Lakshmanas be returned to Kishkindha and he himself would destroy Ravana and his followers. Then Sushana replied: 'King of Kishkindha: 'In the ancient times when devaasura maha yuddhas took place, 'astra shastra vidya yukta danavaasuras' had badly hurt deva samuhas with ease and Deva Guru Brihaspati applied celestial herbal medicins for curing the wounds. Hence: tāny ausadhāny ānayitum kṣīrodam yāntu sāgaram, javena vānarāh śīghram sampāti panasādayah/ harayas tu vijānanti pārvatī te mahauşadhī, samjīvakaraṇīm divyām viśalyām devanirmitām/ candraś ca nāma droṇaś ca parvatau sāgarottame, amṛtam yatra mathitam tatra te paramauṣadhī My my earnest suggestion to you Vanara Raja Sugriva let Sampati, Panasa and such vaarara veeras could soon reach the banks of 'ksheera saagara' so that Sampaati could search on the mountain top 'mahoushadhi' or potent herbal medicines. Sampatti and such vaanaras do possess the viginaana of the herbal medicines. In that huge range of mountains, there is the most appropriate mountains named 'Sanjeeva karni and Vishalyakarani'. There two maha parvataas were specially manifested by Brahma Deva himself. Sugriva Raja! you would be aware that

among the Sapta Samudras viz. Lavana or Salt, Ikshurasa or Sugarcane juice, Sura or Wine, Ghrita or Classified Butter, Dahi or Curd, Ksheera or Milk and Suswada or Sweet Water, Ksheera Sagara is most famed and on its shores are Chandra and Drona named mountains where Deva Danavas performed 'amrita mathana' and it is on those mountains where the 'divya aoushdhis' are aplenty. te tatra nihite devaiḥ parvate paramauṣadhī, ayam vāyusuto rājan hanūmāms tatra gacchatu/ etasminn antare vāyur meghām's cāpi savidyutaḥ, paryasyan sāgare toyam kampayann iva parvatān/ mahatā pakṣavātena sarve dvīpamahādrumāḥ, nipetur bhagnaviṭapāḥ samūlā lavaṇāmbhasi/ Vaanara Raja! My considered advice is that Vayuputra Hanuman be kindly commisioned to locate the 'mahoushdhis' even and Viranjaneya was getting ready to successfully accomplish the success. Meanwhile, 'Vayu prachalana' or the speed of winds got intensified, megha garjanas and lightnings followed, and sweeps of winds shook up samudras. Maha Garuda flew off and there were the consquent 'samudra prabhanjana' of the Maha Samudras ranging from the Lavana Samudra. abhavan pannagās trastā bhoginas tatravāsinah, śīghram sarvāņi yādāmsi jagmus ca lavaņārņavam/ tato muhūrtad garudam vainateyam mahābalam, vānarā dadṛsuḥ sarve įvalantam iva pāvakam/ tam āgatam abhipreksya nāgās te vipradudruvuh, yais tau satpurusau baddhau śarabhūtair mahābalau/ As Maha Sarpas of the Maha Samudra were shaken up too with the fury and speed of Vayu Deva jumped up and got flustered running hither and thither even entering Lankapuri as its residents were alarmed. Then within minutes time, samasta vaavaraas witnessed the arrival of the most distinguished Garuda Deva the Vinata nandana as of agni jwaalaas around him. tatah suparnah kākutsthau dṛstvā pratyabhinandya ca, vimamarśa ca pānibhyām mukhe candrasamaprabhe/ vainateyena samspṛṣṭās tayoḥ samruruhur vraṇāḥ, suvarṇe ca tanū snigdhe tayor āśu babhūvatuḥ/ tejo vīryam balam cauja utsāhaś ca mahāguṇāḥ, pradarśanam ca buddhiś ca smṛtiś ca dviguṇam tayoḥ/ Even with his very arrival, Maha Garuda touched the heads of Shri Rama Lalshmanas and their bodies glittered gloriously. Their respective physiques then got rejuvenated with tejas, veerya, bala, oza, utsaaha, drishtishakti, buddhi, and ramaneeyatadi shaktis as got doubled.

[Visheshana on Garuda Deva, the Vinata Nandana

Vinata and Kadru were among the two wives of Kashyapa Muni. Kadru hatched thousands of eggs creating snakes while Vinata hatched only two. Vinata broke one egg and found a child named Aruna but was deformed. Eventually Aruna became the charioteer of Surya Deva. In a mutual bet, Vinata and Kadru out of playfulness; the bet was as to which colour was of Ucchaishrava the celestial horse born during ksheera saagara mathana; Vinata replied that the horse was white but the bet was lost since the horse's tail was black. Vinata lost the bet and became Kadru's servant and served her as also the progeny of snakes. The second son of Vinata named Garuda too was born weak with a beak and wings like an eagle but with the features of a human. As Garuda grew up he noticed that his mother was a slave and did all the domestic work including looking after the snake children. The latter used to tauntingly address *Garuda as the son of Vinata and order him to give him rides on the sky. One day, Garuda was ordered by Kadru to take all her snake children to a near by island while Vinata should carry herself. In anger and disgust Garuda carried the snake children too high on the sky and the latter were half burnt by the heat of Surya Deva. Then as the snake kids screamed and Kadru prayed to Indra who instatantly saved them by rain showers. On landing back, Garuda told the serpent kids that he could keep on taking to many islands but on the condition that her mother be freed from the slavery. But Vinata disagreed and asked Garuda to strengthen his body by reaching Himalayas and lifting big tortoises and elephants to eat.Guruda did so and eventually made his body mighty and invincible. One day he found an elephant and tortoises and having lifted them, placed the preys on a srong branch of a huge tree to settle down and eat. But Vakalhilya Sages of miniature sizes hanging down the branch realised that the massive bird could fly them down to an island near by and befriended them by calling it as 'Garuda' or the one who could lift up massive loads. He helped them and they suggested to approach swarga on the high skies to secure amrit

for longevity. As Garuda was nearing Swarga, Indra got concerened about the mighty sky and ran to Brihaspati. The latter, having realised the purpose of Garuda to lift amrita drops, alerted all the Devas including Vayu- Varuna- Agni-and so on and even the vajrayudha of Indra could not stop Garuda who finally did secure a pot of amrit and desired that his mother be freed from her slavery too. On way back, Vishnu appeared and smilingly offered that he could be his 'vaahana' for ever.! [Repeat of Essence of Valmiki Ayodhya Ramayana]

Further Stanzas of the Sarga Fifty:

Then Maha Tejasvi Garuda Deva then lifted up Rama Lakshmana brothers and touched with his heart as Shri Rama was quite pleased.bhavatprasādād vyasanam rāvaniprabhavam mahat, āvām iha vyatikrāntau śīghram ca balinau kṛtau/ yathā tātam daśaratham yathājam ca pitāmaham, tathā bhavantam āsādya hṛṣayam me prasīdati/ ko bhavān rūpasampanno divyasraganulepanaḥ,vasāno viraje vastre divyābharaṇabhūṣitaḥ/ tam uvāca mahātejā vainateyo mahābalaḥ, patatrirājaḥ prītātmā harşaparyākulekşanah/Maha Garuda! We both Rama Lakshmana brothers are grateful and happy as having been relieved as we both of us were attacked by Indrajit the Ravana Kumara who tied us down with naaga bandhana and the maha sarpas disappeared by your very arrival here. Now we are rejuvenated right away, excepting Lakshmana's consciouness be revived. We are thrilled at your arrival here as though our distinguished father Dasharatha and his father had arrived here to bless us. You are indeed maha tejasvi and rupavaan garlanded with fragrant flowers of celestial origin, exceedingly dressed up and ornamented. Kindly enlighten us with proper identity, although we have a hazy idea.' As Shri Rama was no doubt aware of Garuda Deva's full background, Garuda smiled with 'ananda baashpaas' and replied: . aham sakhā te kākutstha priyah prāno bahiścarah, garutmān iha samprāpto yuvayoh sāhyakāranāt/ asurā vā mahāvīryā dānavā vā mahābalāh, surāś cāpi sagandharvāh puraskṛtya śatakratum/ nemam mokṣayitum śaktāḥ śarabandham sudāruṇam, māyā balād indrajitā nirmitam krūrakarmaṇā/ ete nāgāḥ kādravevās tīksnadamstrāvisolbanāh, raksomāvā prabhāvena sarā bhūtvā tvadāsritāh/ Kakutsa nandana, I am your beloved friend Garuda and as I keep flying away am your very praana the vital energy and have ar/rived here for your possible help. Even if maha parakrami asura,daanava, devatas, gandharvas and even Indra would have failed in relieving from this 'maha sarpa bandhana' as the kruratma Indrajit out of his maha maaya prayoga of Kadru putra maha naagas which are soaked in unusual 'maha garala' and such arrows of thick layers of severe poison. sabhāgyaś cāsi dharmajña rāma satyaparākrama, laksmanena saha bhrātrā samare ripughātinā/ imam śrutvā tu vṛttāntam tvaramāno 'ham āgataḥ, sahasā yuvayoḥ snehāt sakhitvam anupālayan/ moksitau ca mahāghorād asmāt sāyakabandhanāt, apramādas ca kartavyo yuvābhyām nityam eva hi/ Parama Dharmajnaata Shri Rama! Even as you having been relieved of this extraordinary naga bandhana soon enough, I consider that this privilege of relieving Lashmana Kumara, your dear brothrer and 'parama mitra'! As I received this celestial message, I had hastened to arrive here with 'mano-vaayu vega', prakrtyā rāksasāh sarve samgrāme kūtayodhinah, śūrānām śuddhabhāvānām bhavatām ārjavam balam/ tan na viśvasitavyam vo rākṣasānām raṇājire, etenaivopamānena nityajihmā hi rāksasāh/Trust me to emphasize that Rakshasaas by their born and natural way of life is of uncouth and cruelty but indeed you are perfect and appropriate nature to match and balance in fittingly. Hence my caution to you Vaanaraas too. Having cautiouned all Maha Garuda Deva embraced Sri Rama and departed even while stating: Rama Bhagavan! You are indeed by your very nature are an outstanding friend, philosopher and guide to your followers pretending that you are making them and inspiring them to follow. You would dvastate Lankapuri in such a manner that only children and the aged would be spared.' As Maha Garuda departed, the Maha Vaanara Sena with great joy and excitement, sounded drums, simha naadaas, shankha naadaass and garjanas as if of great victory, as the nishacharas were concerned and agitated as though the greeshma ritu has just concluded.

Sargas Fifty One and Two

Rattled by Rama Lakshmanas release, the worried Ravana despatched Dhumraksha, who encouraged his Rakasasas who displayed initial success but Hanuman crashed the chariot and the head of Dhumraksha

Teşām su. tumulam śabdam vānarāṇām tarasvinām, nardatām rākṣasaiḥ sārdham tadā śuśrāva rāvaṇaḥ/ snigdhagambhīranirghosam śrutvā sa ninadam bhrśam, sacivānām tatas tesām madhye vacanam abravīt/ yathāsau samprahrstānām vānarāṇām samutthitah, bahūnām sumahān nādo meghānām iva garjatām/ vyaktam sumahatī prītir eteşām nātra samsayah, tathā hi vipulair nādais cukşubhe varunālayah/ tau tu baddhau śarais tīsknair bhrātarau rāmalaksmanau, ayam ca sumahān nādah śankām janayatīva me/etat tu vacanam coktvā mantrino rāksaseśvarah, uvāca nairrtāms tatra samīpaparivartinah/ jñāyatām tūrnam etasām sarvesām vanacārinām, śokakāle samutpanne harsakāranam utthitam/tathoktās tena sambhrāntāh prākāram adhiruhya te, dadršuh pālitām senām sugrīvena mahātmanā/ tau ca muktau sughorena śarabandhena rāghavau, samutthitau mahābhāgau viṣeduh prekṣya rākṣasāḥ/ samtrastahrdayā sarve prākārād avaruhya te, viṣaṇṇavadanāḥ sarve rākṣasendram upasthitāḥ/tad apriyam dīnamukhā rāvanasya niśācarāh, krtsnam nivedayām āsur vathāvad vākyakovidāh/ vau tāv indrajitā yuddhe bhrātarau rāmalaksmaṇau, nibaddhau śarabandhena nisprakampabhujau kṛtau/ vimuktau śarabandhena tau drśyete raṇājire, pāśān iva gajau chittvā gajendrasamavikramau/ tac chrutvā vacanam tesām rāksasendro mahābalah,cintāśokasamākrānto visannavadano 'bravīt/ ghorair dattavarair baddhau śarair āśīvisomapaih, amoghaih sūryasamkāśaih pramathyendrajitā yudhi/ tam astrabandham āsādya yadi muktau ripū mama, samsayastham idam sarvam anupasyāmy aham balam/ nisphalāḥ khalu samvṛttāḥ śarā vāsukitejasaḥ, ādattam yais tu samgrāme ripūṇām mama jīvitam/ evam uktvā tu samkruddho niśvasann urago yathā, abravīd raksasāmmadhye dhūmrākşam nāma rākasam/ balena mahatā yukto raksasām bhīmakarmanām, tvam vadhāyābhiniryāhi rāmasya saha vānaraih evam uktas tu dhūmrākso rāksasendrena dhīmatā, krtvā pranāmam samhrsto nirjagāma nrpālayāt/ abhiniskramya taddvāram balādhyaksam uvāca ha, tvarayasva balam tūrnam kim cirena yuyutsatah/ dhūmrāksasya vacah śrutvā balādhyakso balānugah,balam udyojayām āsa rāvanasyājňayā drutam/ te baddhaghantā balino ghorarūpā niśācarāḥ, vinardamānāḥ samhṛṣṭā dhūmrākṣam paryavārayan/ vividhāyudhahastāś ca śūlamudgarapāṇayaḥ, gadābhiḥ paṭṭasair daṇḍair āyasair musalair bhṛśam/ parighair bhindipālais ca bhallaih prāsaih parasvadhaih nirvavū rāksasā ghorā nardanto jaladā vathā/ rathaiḥ kavacinas tv anye dhvajaiś ca samalamkṛtaiḥ, suvarṇajālavihitaiḥ kharaiś ca vividhānanaiḥ/ hayaih paramaśīghraiś ca gajendraiś ca madotkataih, nirvayū rāksasavyāghrā vyāghrā iva durāsadāh/ vrkasimhamukhair yuktam kharaih kanakabhūsanaih, āruroha ratham divyam dhūmrāksah kharanisvanah/ sa niryāto mahāvīryo dhūmrākso rāksasair vrtah,prahasan paścimadvāram hanūmān yatra yūthapah/ prayāntam tu mahāghoram rāksasam bhīmadarsanam, antariksagatāh krūrāh sakunāh pratyavārayan/rathaśīrṣe mahābhīmo gṛdhraś ca nipapāta ha, dhvajāgre grathitāś caiva nipetuh kuṇapāśanāh/ rudhirārdro mahāñ śvetaḥ kabandhaḥ patito bhuvi, visvaram cotsrjan nādam dhūmrākṣasya samīpatah/ vavarṣa rudhiram devah samcacāla ca medinī, pratilomam vavau vāyur nirghātasamanisvanah, timiraughāvrtās tatra diśaś ca na cakāśire/ sa tūtpātāms tato drstvā rāksasānām bhayāyahān, prādurbhūtān sughorām's ca dhūmrākso vyathito 'bhayat/ tatah subhīmo bahubhir niśācarair; vrto 'bhinişkramya raņotsuko balī, dadarśa tām rāghavabāhupālitām; samudrakalpām bahuvānarīm camūm/

Dhūmrākṣam prekṣya niryāntam rākṣasam bhīmanisvanam, vinedur vānarāḥ sarve prahṛṣṭā yuddhakānkṣiṇaḥ/ teṣām tu tumulam yuddham samjajñe harirakṣasām, anyonyam pādapair ghorair nighnatam śūlamudgaraiḥ/ rākṣasair vānarā ghorā vinikṛttāḥ samantataḥ, vānarai rākṣasāś cāpi drumair bhūmau samīkṛtāḥ/ rākṣasāś cāpi samkruddhā vānarān niśitaiḥ śaraiḥ, vivyadhur ghorasamkāśaiḥ kankapatrair ajihmagaiḥ/ te gadābhiś ca bhīmābhiḥ paṭṭasaiḥ kūṭamudgaraiḥ, ghoraiś ca parighaiś citrais triśūlaiś cāpi samśitaiḥ/ vidāryamāṇā rakṣobhir vānarās te mahābalāḥ, amarṣāj janitoddharṣāś cakruḥ karmāṇy abhītavat/śaranirbhinnagātrās te śūlanirbhinnadehinaḥ ,jagṛhus te drumāms tatra śilāś ca hariyūthapāḥ/ te bhīmavegā harayo nardamānās tatas tataḥ, mamanthū rākṣasān bhīmān nāmāni ca babhāsire/ tad babhūvādbhutam ghoram vuddham vānararaksasām, śilābhir vividhābhiś ca bahuśākhaiś

ca pādapaih/ rāksasā mathitāh ke cid vānarair jitakāśibhih, vavarsū rudhiram ke cin mukhai rudhirabhojanāh/ pārśvesu dāritāh ke cit ke cid rāśīkrtā drumaih, śilābhiś cūrnitāh ke cit ke cid dantair vidāritāḥ/ dhvajair vimathitair bhagnaih kharaiś ca vinipātitaiḥ, rathair vidhvamsitaiś cāpi patitai rajanīcaraih/ vānarair bhīmavikrāntair āplutyāplutya vegitaih, rākṣasāḥ karajais tīkṣṇair mukheṣu vinikartitāh/ vivarnavadanā bhūyo viprakīrnaśiroruhāh, mūdhāh śonitagandhena nipetur dharanītale/ naye tu paramakruddhā rākṣasā bhīmavikramāḥ, talair evābhidhāvanti vajrasparśasamair harīn/ vanarair āpatantas te vegitā vegavattaraiḥ, mustibhiś caraṇair dantaiḥ pādapaiś cāpapothitāḥ/Sainyam tu vidrutam drstvā dhūmrākso rāksasarsabhah, krodhena kadanam cakre vānarānām vuvutsatām/prāsaih pramathitāh ke cid vānarāh sonitasravāh, mudgarair āhatāh ke cit patitā dharanītale/parighair mathitah ke cid bhindipālair vidāritāh, pattasair āhatāh ke cid vihvalanto gatāsavah/ ke cid vinihatā bhūmau rudhirārdrā vanaukasah,ke cid vidrāvitā nastāh samkruddhai rāksasair yudhi/ vibhinnahrdayāh ke cid ekapārśvena śāyitāh, vidāritāstraśūlai ca ke cid āntrair vinisrutāh/tat subhīmam mahad yuddham harirākasa samkulam, prababhau śastrabahulam śilāpādapasamkulam,dhanurjyātantrimadhuram hikkātālasamanvitam, mandrastanitasamgītam yuddhagāndharvam ābabhau/dhūmrākṣas tu dhanuṣpāṇir vānarān ranamūrdhani, hasan vidrāvavām āsa diśas tāñ śaravrstibhih/ dhūmrāksenārditam sainvam vyathitam drśya mārutiḥ, abhyavartata samkruddhaḥ pragrhya vipulām śilām/ krodhād dviguņatāmrākṣaḥ pitrtulyaparākramaḥ, śilām tām pātayām āsa dhūmrākṣasya ratham prati/āpatantīm śilām dṛstvā gadām udyamya sambhramāt, rathād āplutya vegena vasudhāyām vyatisthata/sā pramathya ratham tasya nipapāta śilābhuvi,sacakrakūbaram sāśvam sadhvajam saśarāsanam/ sa bhanktvā tu ratham tasya hanūmān mārutātmajah,rakṣasām kadanam cakre saskandhaviṭapair drumaih/ vibhinnaśiraso bhūtvā rākṣasāḥ śonitokṣitāḥ, drumaiḥ pramathitāś cānye nipetur dharaṇītale/ vidrāvya rākṣasam sainyam hanūmān mārutātmajaḥ,gireḥ śikharam ādāya dhūmrākṣam abhidudruve/ tam āpatantam dhūmrākso gadām udyamya vīryavān, vinardamānah sahasā hanūmantam abhidravat/ tatah kruddhas tu vegena gadām tām bahukantakām, pātayām āsa dhūmrākso mastake tu hanūmatah/ tāditah sa tayā tatra gadayā bhīmarūpayā,sa kapir mārutabalas tam prahāram acintayan, dhūmrāksasya śiro madhye giriśrngam apātayat/ sa vihvalitasarvāngo giriśrngena tāditah, papāta sahasā bhūmau vikīrna iva parvatah/dhūmrākṣam nihatam dṛṣṭvā hataśeṣā niśācarāḥ, trastāḥ praviviśur lankām vadhyamānāḥ plavamgamaih/ sa tu pavanasuto nihatya śatrum; kṣatajavahāḥ saritaś ca samvikīrya, ripuvadhaja nitaśramo mahātmā; mudam agamat kapibhiś ca pūjyamānah/

As Rayana heard the tumultuous noises of drum beatings and screamings of the opponent 'vaanara sena', Ravana blissfully seated among the Ministers, wondered as what all had been happening at the enemy front since subdued despite Indrajit's victorious 'naaga bandhana'. He stood up with rage and commanded the Ministers to go and find out what was happening there. On ascertaning the ground position, they reported back to say that it appeared that Rama Lakshmanas were relieved of the 'naga bandhana' and hence their 'jai jai ninaadaas'. Then suddenly the medium dark color of his 'dashamukhas' got darker and thought within himself: ghorair dattavarair baddhau śarair āśīviṣomapaiḥ, amoghaiḥ sūryasamkāśaiḥ pramathyendrajitā yudhi/ tam astrabandham āsādya yadi muktau ripū mama, samsayastham idam sarvam anupaśvāmy aham balam/ nisphalāh khalu samvrttāh śarā vāsukitejasah, ādattam vais tu samgrāme ripūṇām mama jīvitam/ What all my glorious son Indrajit ever hissing like a 'maha naaga' himself, being an unparalleled 'mahaastra vidya praveena' under the tutorship of Maha Danvava-Rakshasaas Guru Shukraachaarya himself, appears not to have succeeded in his 'naaga bandhana astra prayoga'! This should be a matter of serious import requiring serious attention. Having pondered likewise addressed with partly anxious but outwardly with angry desperatoin, Ravana shouted on a commandig tone addressed Dhumaraaksha: balena mahatā yukto rakṣasām bhīmakarmaṇām, tvam vadhāyābhiniryāhi rāmasya saha vānaraih evam uktas tu dhūmrākşo rākşasendreņa dhīmatā, kṛtvā praṇāmam samhṛṣṭo nirjagāma nṛpālayāt/ abhinişkramya taddvāram balādhyakṣam uvāca ha, tvarayasva balam tūrṇam kim cirena yuyutsatah/ dhūmrāksasya vacah śrutvā balādhyakso balānugah,balam udyojayām āsa rāvanasyājñayā drutam/ Bhayanaka Paraakrami Veera! go atonce as accompaneid by Maha Rakshasa Veeras attack Rama who would be surrouded by Vaanara Pramukhas. As per the King's command, Dhamrakha having dutifully performed a 'parikrama' of Rayana exited the Raja Bhayana and intructed

his charioteer to reach the battle ground forthwith as his horsemen rakshasaas followed fittingly armed. The 'bhayanaka balavan nishaachara' in his mighty arms was carrying his 'astra shastras' as some of his waarior sena were mounted on well trained elephants besides very many on horse backs all of them equipped with 'shuula-mudgara- gada pattusha-loha danda,musala, parigha, bhindapaala-bhaale-paashsaadi maha bhayaaka ayudhaas'. The nishaachara shiromani was riding a chariot with a 'survarna jaala' or a golden net to catch the fishlike vaanara veeras! But indeed, the maha vaanara yoddhhas instead being mere fish to be netted in were far worse than whales with gigantic physiques with maha vrikshasa amd mountain boulders on their shoulders with which to crush to instant death.

Sarga Fifty Two

As Dhumaraaksha entered the battle field with his great Rakshasa Sena admirably equipped military armoury, Vaha Vanaras now with Rama Lakshmanas freed from the naaga paasha refreshed with renewed vigour and exciement with uprooted maha vrishas and mountain rocks on their mighty shoulders the no less rakshasa veeraas began to utilize arrow downpours as quite a few vaanara veeras, as several 'haa haakaaras' were heard mainly from the vanaraas. Irritated by the cries of collapsed Maha Rakshasas on the defending side too, Dhumraaksha became more and more aggressive and encouraged the Maha Rakshaasa to quickly exhibit their military skills by utilizing their equipment of shula mudgara maha passhas which the opponents were neither possessive of the basic equipped of warfare nor of utilising them excepting the crude art of 'vriksaaadi praharana'. Having thus renewed the courage and confidence by Dhumraasha, the Rakshasaas became more and more aggressive. dhūmrāksenārditam sainvam vyathitam drśya mārutih, abhyavartata samkruddhah pragrhya vipulām śilām/ krodhād dvigunatāmrāksah pitrtulyaparākramah, śilām tām pātayām āsa dhūmrāksasya ratham prati/āpatantīm śilām dṛṣṭvā gadām udyamya sambhramāt, rathād āplutya vegena vasudhāyām vyatiṣṭhata/ Then Dhumraaksha picked up his 'dhanush baanaas' and attacked the Vaanara Veeras into bits and pieces as several vaanarasa fell victimised, encouraging the co Rakshasaas and apparently enjoying himself. Pavana kumara Anjanaaputra found that a critical mode was appearing in the battle. His normal smile disappeared and hie eyes got reddened. His physical speed and velocity was of the inheritance of Vayu Deva, his dear and respectable father. He jumped up to a near mountain top pulled of huge portion of it and hurled at Dhumraksha's chariot which crashed along with his dhwaja, the iron wheels along with the dead horses, and forced the Senapati to get dragged down to the dusty ground. sā pramathya ratham tasya nipapāta śilābhuvi,sacakrakūbaram sāśvam sadhvajam saśarāsanam/ sa bhanktvā tu ratham tasva hanūmān mārutātmajah,raksasām kadanam cakre saskandhavitapair drumaih/vibhinnaśiraso bhūtvā rāksasāh śonitoksitāh, drumaih pramathitāś cānye nipetur dharanītale/vidrāvya rāksasam sainyam hanūmān mārutātmajah, gireh śikharam ādāya dhūmrākṣam abhidudruve/ He jumped up to a near mountain top pulled of huge portion of it and hurled at Dhumraksha's chariot which crashed along with his dhwaja, the iron wheels along with the dead horses, and forced the Senapati to get dragged down to the dusty ground. As Dhumraaksa got bewildered with the shock, then Veeranjaneva started to methodically devastate the Rakashaas. tam āpatantam dhūmrākso gadām udvamva vīrvavān, vinardamānah sahasā hanūmantam abhidravat/ tatah kruddhas tu vegena gadām tām bahukanṭakām, pātayām āsa dhūmrākso mastake tu hanūmatah/ tāditah sa tayā tatra gadayā bhīmarūpayā,sa kapir mārutabalas tam prahāram acintayan, dhūmrāksasya śiro madhye giriśrngam apātayat/ Yet having steadied himself, Dhumraksha jumped up the his powerful mace in both of his mighty arms ran towards Aanjaneya and aiming at the latter's head with the tightly gripped mace with several thorn like penetrations. No doubt Anjaneya's head was affected by the 'gada prahara' with scratches but ignoring the same, he with his 'vaayu vega' reached atop a mountain and instatntly hurled at Dhumraaksha Mastaka with extreme precision. sa vihvalitasarvāngo girisrngeņa tāditah, papāta sahasā bhūmau vikīrņa iva parvatah/ dhūmrāksam nihatam dṛstvā hataśesā niśācarāh, trastāh praviviśur lankām vadhyamānāh plavamgamaih/ sa tu pavanasuto nihatya śatrum; ksatajavahāh saritas ca samvikīrya, ripuvadhaja nitaśramo mahātmā; mudam agamat kapibhiś ca pūjyamānah/ As the 'parvata shikhara prahara' of Viranjaneva, Dhumraksha's head and body parts were crumbled to the battle ground in bits and pieces, as

his Rakshasa Sena ran back to Ravana in Lankapuri as Virajanajaneya was hailed by the 'Vaanara Sena prashamsha' with his gladdened heart.

Sargas Fifty Three and Fifty Four

Ravanaasura got furious that Dhumaakasha was killed by Hanuman, he instructed Vajradamshra to take revenge, as Rakshasa Vaanara Maha Yuddha followed yet Angada crushed Vajradamshta to death

As Rakashasa Raja went wild with rage on hearing the news of 'Maha Rakshasa Dhumraksha' death and like 'maha visha sarpa' would swing left and right with 'phoophookaaras', taking long and deep breathings commanded Nishachara Mahabali Vajradamshtra and raising his voice said: you should instantly attack Rama and Sugrivas. Then with Gaja-Ashva-Ratha-dhanush-tomara-musala-bhindipaalashakti-pattisha-khadga-chakra-gadasahita aneka asrta-shastradhari Maha Rakshasaas proceeded ahead with megha garjanas typical of Varsha Kaala. He then devastated the Samudra samaana Vaanara Maha Vaanara Sena felt that they were experiencing a sand storm or a pralaya kaalagni. But the never shaken up Vaali Kumara Angada was hardly subdued. Taan raakshasa ganaan sarvaan vrikshamuddyumaya veeryavan, Angadaha krodhataamraakshah simhah kshuramrigaaniva, chakaara kadanam ghoram Shara tulya paraakramah/ Angadaabhihataastra raakshasaa bheema vikramaah vibhinna shirasah peturnikrittaa iva paaapaah/Angadasya cha veerena tad raajkshasasabalam mahat,praakampata tadaa tara pavanekaambudo yathaa/ His eyes were raging fury as indeed he was an Indratulya Paraakrami. Just as lion would jump and attack vanya pashus, he could uproot maha vrikshas, he carried on assaulting bhayanaka rakshasas as they were severed of their heads and bodies as fallen to dust. Their chariots and dhvajas were crashed, as their horses and elephants aside from their own dead body mutilations caused instant foows of blood. Thus Angada's very presence on the battle field sent sent shivers down the spines of the Rakshasaas.

On seeing the havoc created by Angada, Vajradamshtra fumed up and lifted his dhanush and initiating the bombardment with violent barrages of arrows nonstop, as the follower Rakashas Maha Veeras took to extensive use of 'ayudha prahaaraas', while the Vanarara Pramukhas as inspired by Angada retaliated with similar varshpaata of maha vrikshas and huge mountain rocks. The mutual battle caused floods of 'rakta - maamsa pravaahaas.' The 'atyanta krodha yukta' Varjadamshta for each of his 'dhanur prayogas' were tied with bunches of arrows with five-seven- nine 'gucchhas' causing panic to the vaanara veeras and with deep wounds as pierced through by the 'bana parampara' ran to Angadas Kumara for his shelter and solace. The instant reaction of Angada was to sink Vajradamshtra with heavy boulders with speed and agility. The retaliatary Vajradamshra hit the mammasthalas of Angada with a spree of a lakh poisonous arrows. Rudhurokshatasarvaango Vaalisoonur mahaabalaha, chikshepa Vajradamshtraaya vriksamm bheenaparaakramah/ Drushtvaa panantam tam vrikshamasmasambhraanascha Raakshasah, chicchhed bahudhaa sopi madhitah praapadat bhuvi// tam drushtvaa vajradamshtrsya vikramam playagarbhashabhah, pragriha vipulam shailam chikshapa cha nanaadacha/The baana prahaara in a lakh of number made such an impact that Angada crumbled yet with his 'agni jwaala' like revenge got up instantly and made a fast rise up and made the fatest prahara of a 'parvata khanda' as Vajradamshtra's head and body parts crumbled to pieces, the blood flows stunned the Raksasa sena fled away back to Lankapuri in panic.

Sargas Fifty Five and Fifty Six

As Angada pulled down Vajradamshtra to death, Senapati Akampana volunteered to attack the shatru sena but Veeranjana despatched the Senapapati and many Raashasas to Yama Loka

Vajradamamdhtam hatam śrutvā rāvano rāksaseśvarah, balādhyaksam uvācedam krtāñjalim upasthitam/ śīghram niryāntu durdharsā rāksasā bhīmavikramāh, akampanam puraskrtya sarvaśastraprakovidam/ tato nānāpraharaṇā bhīmākṣā bhīmadarśanāḥ,niṣpetū rākṣasā mukhyā balādhyakṣapracoditāḥ/ ratham āsthāya vipulam taptakāñcanakuṇḍalaḥ, rākasaiḥ samvṛto ghorais tadā niryāty akampanaḥ/ na hi kampayitum śakyah surair api mahāmrdhe, akampanas tatas tesām āditya iya tejasā/ tasya nidhāvamānasya samrabdhasya yuyutsayā, akasmād dainyam āgacchad dhayānām rathavāhinām/ vyasphuran nayanam cāsya savyam yuddhābhinandinah, vivarņo mukhavarņas ca gadgadas cābhavat svarah/ abhavat sudine cāpi durdine rūksamārutam, ūcuh khagā mrgāh sarve vācah krūrā bhavāvahāh/ sa simhopacitaskandhah śārdūlasamavikramah,tān utpātān acintyaiva nirjagāma ranājiram/ tadā nirgacchatas tasya raksasah saha rāksasaih,babhūva sumahān nādah ksobhayann iya sāgaram/ tena śabdena vitrastā vānarānām mahācamūh, drumaśailapraharanā yoddhum samavatisthata/ tesām yuddham mahāraudram samjajñe kapiraksasām,rāmarāvanayor arthe samabhityaktajīvinām/ sarve hy atibalāh śūrāh sarve parvatasamnibhāh,harayo rākṣasāś caiva parasparajighamsavah/teṣām vinardātām śabdah samyuge 'titarasvinām, śuśruve sumahān krodhād anyonyam abhigarjatām/ rajaś crunavarnābham subhīmam abhavad bhrśam, uddhūtam hariraksobhih samrurodha diśo daśa/ anvonvam rajasā tena kauśeyoddhūtapāṇḍunā, samvṛtāni ca bhūtāni dadṛśur na raṇājire/ na dhvajo na patākāvā varma vā turago 'pi vā, āyudham syandanam vāpi dadrse tena reņunā/ sabdas ca sumahāms teṣām nardatām abhidhāvatām, śrūyate tumule yuddhe na rūpāni cakāśire/ harīn eva susamkruddhā harayo jaghnur āhave, rāksasāś cāpi raksāmsi nijaghnus timire tadā/ parāms caiva vinighnantah svāms ca vānararākṣasāḥ,rudhirārdram tadā cakrur mahīm pankānulepanām/ tatas tu rudhiraugheṇa siktam vvapagatam rajah, śarīraśavasamkīrnā babhūva ca vasumdharā/ drumaśaktiśilāprāsair gadāparighatomaraiḥ,harayo rākṣasās tūrṇam jaghnur anyonyam ojasā/ bāhubhiḥ parighākārair yudhyantaḥ parvatopamāḥ, harayo bhīmakarmāṇo rākṣasāñ jaghnur āhave/ rākṣasāś cāpi samkruddhāḥ prāsatomarapānayah,kapīn nijaghnire tatra śastraih paramadārunaih/ harayas tv api raksāmsi mahādrumamahāśmabhih, vidārayanty abhikramya śastrāny ācchidya vīryatah/ etasminn antare vīrā harayah kumudo nalah, maindaś ca paramakruddhaś cakrur vegam anuttamam/ te tu vṛksair mahāvegā rākṣasānām camūmukhe,kadanam sumaha cakrur līlayā hariyūthapāh/

As Vaaliputra Angada destroyed Maha Rakshasa Vajradamshtra, Rayana was shocked yet again, Senapati Prahasta offered himself to volunteer as he desired the Rakshasa Raja. Aampana was a complete astra shastra jnaata and backing him bhyankara Durdharsha Rakshasa too was ready. Akampana was always an ever ready 'yuddha priya' and surely capable of defeating Rama Lakshman Sugrivas besides killing innumerable vaanaras. As approved by Ravana, Akampana proceeded along with 'maha rakshasa shreshtthas' with megha garjanas. In his past adventures, even crores of Deva Sena was terrified to counter Akampana or neverever shaken up shivers and hence his title was Akampana. As the horses carrying his chariot were looking sad with tears in their eyes as even he glanced some dusshakunas and surprisigly however even his tone are rather sudued. Even so the Maha Rakshasaveeras accompanying Akampana were in full excitement screaming away 'jai jai ninaadaass'. On the other side of the battle front, Vaanara Veeraas itching away with another confrontation heard battle shouts of victory but were hardly see as huge dusts were spread all over in the otherside and thus the dhvajas, chariots, horses and the approaching marches of the Rakshasa sena. Then came the rakshasa in crowds started attacking the vaanaraas all of a suudden with their maces, shaktis, praaaas, parighas and so on. Vaanaas too ataacked with maha vrikhas, heavy boulders and so on, besides resorting to dwandva yuddhhas. etasminn antare vīrā harayaḥ kumudo nalaḥ, maindaś ca paramakruddhaś cakrur vegam anuttamam/ te tu vṛkṣair mahāvegā rākṣasānām camūmukhe,kadanam sumaha cakrur līlayā hariyūthapāḥ/It was at that very time, maha vaanara shreshthas like Kumuda, Nala, Mainda and Dvivida joined and with dashing speed and anger. The Vanara shreshthas then considering a play worthy game pounded Rakshasaas with 'mushti ghaataas' on their coounterparts.

Sarga Fifty Six

Tad drstvā sumahat karma krtam vānarasattamaih, krodham āhārayām āsa yudhi tīvram akampanah/ krodhamūrchitarūpas tu dhnuvan paramakārmukam, drstvā tu karma satrūnām sārathim vākyam abravīt/ tatraiva tāvat tvaritam ratham prāpaya sārathe, ete 'tra bahavo ghnanti subahūn rākṣasān raṇe/ ete 'tra balavanto hi bhīmakāyāś ca vānarāh,drumaśailapraharaṇās tiṣṭhanti pramukhe mama/ etān nihantum icchāmi samaraślāghino hy aham, etaih pramathitam sarvam dršvate rāksasam balam/ tataḥrajavitāśvena rathena rathinām varaḥ, harīn abhyahanat krodhāc charajālair akampanaḥ/ na sthātum vānarāh śekuh kim punar yoddhum āhave, akampanaśarair bhagnāh sarva eva pradudruvuh/ tān mrtvuvaśam āpannān akampanavaśam gatān, samīksva hanumāñ jñātīn upatasthe mahābalah/ tam mahāplavagam drstvā sarve plavagayūthapāh, sametya samare vīrāh sahitāh paryavārayan/vyavasthitam hanūmantam te dṛṣtvā hariyūthapāh, babhūvur balavanto hi balavantam upāśritāh/ akampanas tu śailābham hanūmantam avasthitam, mahendra iva dhārābhih śarair abhivavarsa ha/ acintayitvā bānaughāñ śarīre patitāñ śitān, akampanavadhārthāya mano dadhre mahābalah/ sa prahasya mahātejā hanūmān mārutātmajah, abhidudrāva tad rakṣaḥ kampayann iva medinīm/ tasyābhinardamānasya dīpyamānasya tejasā, babhūva rūpam durdharṣam dīptasyeva vibhāvasoh/ātmānam tv apraharaṇam jñātvā krodhasamanvitah, śailam utpātavām āsa vegena haripumgavah/ tam grhītvā mahāśailam pāṇinaikena mārutiḥ, vinadya sumahānādam bhrāmayām āsa vīryavān/ tatas tam abhidudrāva rākṣasendram akampanam, yathā hi namucim samkhye vajreņeva puramdaraḥ/ akampanas tu tad dṛṣṭvā giriśrngam samudyatam, dūrād eva mahābāṇair ardhacandrair vyadārayat/ tat parvatāgram ākāśe raksobānavidāritam, vikīrnam patitam dṛstvā hanūmān krodhamūrchitah/ so 'śvakarnam samāsādya roşadarpānvito harih, tūrṇam utpātayām āsa mahāgirim ivocchritam/ tam gṛhītvā mahāskandham so 'śvakarṇam mahādyutiḥ, prahasya parayā prītyā bhrāmayām āsa samyuge/ pradhāvann uruvegena prabhañjams tarasā drumān, hanūmān paramakruddhaś caraṇair dārayat kṣitim/ gajāms ca sagajārohān sarathān rathinas tathā, jaghāna hanumān dhīmān rāksasām's ca padātikān/ tam antakam iva kruddham samare prānahārinam, hanūmantam abhipreksya rāksasā vipradudruvuh/ tam āpatantam samkruddham rāksasānām bhayāvaham, dadarśākampano vīraś cukrodha ca nanāda ca/ sa caturdaśabhir bānaih śitair dehavidāranaih, nirbibheda hanūmantam mahāvīryam akampanah/ sa tathā pratividdhas tu bahvībhih śaravṛṣṭibhiḥ, hanūmān dadṛśe vīraḥ prarūḍha iva sānumān/ tato 'nyam vṛkṣam utpāṭya kṛtvā vegam anuttamam, śirasy abhijaghānāśu rāksasendram akampanam/ sa yrksena hatas tena sakrodhena mahātmanā, rāksaso vānarendrena papāta sa mamāra ca/ tam drstvā nihatam bhūmau rāksasendram akampanam, vyathitā rākṣasāḥ sarve kṣitikampa iva drumāḥ/ tyaktapraharaṇāḥ sarve rākṣasās te parājitāh, lankām abhiyayus trastā vānarais tair abhidrutāh/ te muktakeśāh sambhrāntā bhagnamānāh parājitāh, sravacchramajalair angaih śvasanto vipradudruvuh/ anyonyam pramamantus te viviśur nagaram bhayāt, prsthatas te susammūdhāh preksamānā muhur muhuh/ tesu lankām pravistesu rāksasesu mahābalāh, sametya harayah sarve hanūmantam apūjayan/ so 'pi prahṛstas tān sarvān harīn sampratyapūjayat, hanūmān sattvasampanno yathārham anukūlatah/ vineduś ca yathā prāṇam harayo jitakāśinah, cakarşuś ca punas tatra saprāṇān eva rākṣasān/ sa vīraśobhām abhajan mahākapiḥ; sametya rakṣāmsi nihatya mārutiḥ, mahāsuram bhīmam amitranāśanam; yathaiva viṣṇur balinam camūmukhe/ apūjavan devaganās tadā kapim; svavam ca rāmo 'tibalaś ca laksmanah, tathaiva sugrīvamukhāh plavamgamā; vibhīsanas caiva mahābalas tadā/

As Akampana's 'baana parampara' on vaanara sena was frightening, Hanuman faced Akampana as the entire vaanara veeras were rejoiced. Instantly Akampana initiated his baana varshas as Indra was pouring 'varaha paataas' continuosly. Then quite ignoring the Akampanas arrow series, Hanuman attacked the Rakshasa sena with anger like 'agni jwaalaas'. As he was not equipped with any 'aayudha' at that time, he pulled up a mountain and while making 'simha garjanaas'. Avoiding other vaanara veeras then, Akampana merely concentrated on Hanuman and shot at the parvata shikhara with an 'ardha chadraakaara mantra yokta baana'with his mighty pull. As the mountain collapsed in bits and pieces, Hanaman went into white fury with 'dwesha and darpa'. Jumping over to another 'parvata', Hanuman then found a maha vriksha named Ashwakarna at an adjoining mountain and uprooted it. Then he jumped down to where Akampana was standing while he was waving the maha vriksha and attacked Akampana who reacted by utilising fourteen mantra yukta arrows at Hanuman who was hurt instantanousely. As blood flows were

flowing from his hurt body parts, Hamuman uprooted yet another maha vrisksha and threw off aiming at Akampana. sa vṛkṣeṇa hatas tena sakrodhena mahātmanā, rākṣaso vānarendreṇa papāta sa mamāra ca/tam dṛṣṭvā nihatam bhūmau rākṣasendram akampanam, vyathitā rākṣasāḥ sarve kṣitikampa iva drumāḥ/tyaktapraharaṇāḥ sarve rākṣasās te parājitāḥ, laṅkām abhiyayus trastā vānarais tair abhidrutāḥ/As a highly fumed up Veeranjanaya, the 'maha vriksha prahara' ended up Akampana Rakshasa Senapai to crumble to the ground with a thud, like a bhukampana gets terminated as the remaining rakshasa sena threw off the 'astrasshastras' and ran back to Lankapuri. As the Rakshasa sena as still survived took their heels back to Lanka, as the Vanara sena survivors after the battle were rather amused and shouted 'jaya jaya ninaadaas' loudly congratulating Veera Hanuman.

Sargas Fifty Seven and Fifty Eight

As even Akampana too was crumbled to death by Hanuman, Ravana hesitated but Senapati Prahasta consented but Maha Vaanara Senapati Neela succeeded to crush the Rakshasa Senapati to death

Akampanavadham śrutvā kruddho vai rākṣaseśvaraḥ, kim cid dīnamukhaś cāpi sacivāms tān udaikṣata/ sa tu dhyātvā muhūrtam tu mantribhih samvicārya ca, purīm pariyayau lankām sarvān gulmān aveksitum/ tām rāksasaganair guptām gulmair bahubhir āvṛtām, dadarśa nagarīm lankām patākādhvajamālinīm/ ruddhām tu nagarīm drstvā rāvano rāksaseśvarah, uvācāmarsitah kāle prahastam yuddhakovidam/ purasyopaniviştasya sahasā pīditasya ca, nānyam yuddhāt prapaśyāmi mokṣam yuddhaviśārada/ aham vā kumbhakarņo vā tvam vā senāpatir mama, indrajid vā nikumbho vā vaheyur bhāram īdṛśam/ sa tvam balam itaḥ śīghram ādāya parigṛhya ca, vijayāyābhiniryāhi yatra sarve vanaukasah/ niryānād eva te nūnam capalā harivāhinī, nardatām rāksasendrānām śrutvā nādam dravisyati/ capalā hy avinītās ca calacittās ca vānarāh, na sahisyanti te nādam simhanādam iva dvipāh/ vidrute ca bale tasmin rāmah saumitrināsaha, avašaste nirālambah prahastavašames yati/āpatsamšašre yo nātra nihsamśayīkṛtā/ pratilomānulomam vā yad vā no manyase hitam/ rāyanenaiyam uktas tu prahasto vāhinīpatih, rākṣasendram uvācedam asurendram ivośanā/ rājan mantritapūrvam naḥ kuśalaiḥ saha mantribhih, vivādas cāpi no vrttah samaveksva parasparam/ pradānena tu sītāvāh srevo vyavasitam mayā, apradāne punar vuddham drstam etat tathaiya nah/ so 'ham dānaiś ca mānaiś ca satatam pūjitas tvayā, sāntvaiś ca vividhaiḥ kāle kim na kuryām priyam tava/ na hi me jīvitam rakṣyam putradāradhanāni vā, tvam pasya mām juhūsantam tvadarthe jīvitam yudhi/evam uktvā tu bhartāram rāvanam vāhinīpatih, samānayata me śīghram rāksasānām mahad balam/ madbānāśanivegena hatānām tu ranājire, adya trpyantu māmsena paksinah kānanaukasām/ ity uktās te prahastena balādhyaksāh krtatvarāh, balam udyojayām āsus tasmin rāksasamandire/sā babhūva muhūrtena tigmanānāvidhāyudhaih, lankā rākṣasavīrais tair gajair iva samākulā/ hutāśanam tarpayatām brāhmaṇāmś ca namasyatām, ājyagandhaprativahah surabhir māruto vavau/ srajaś ca vividhākārā jagrhus tv abhimantritāh, samgrāmasajjāh samhrstā dhārayan rākṣasās tadā/ sadhanuṣkāḥ kavacino vegād āplutya rākṣasāḥ, rāvanam preksya rājānam prahastam paryavārayan/ athāmantrya ca rājānam bherīm āhatya bhairavām, āruroha ratham divvam prahastah sajjakalpitam/ havair mahājavair vuktam samvak sūtasusamvutam, mahājaladanirghoṣam sākṣāc candrārkabhāsvaram/ uragadhvajadurdharṣam suvarūtham svapaskaram, suvarnajālasamyuktam prahasantam iva śriyā/ tatas tam ratham āsthāya rāvanārpitaśāsanah, lankāyā niryayau tūrnam balena mahatā vṛtah/ tato dumdubhinirghosah parjanyaninadopamah, śuśruve śankhaśabdaś ca prayāte vāhinīpatau/ ninadantah svarān ghorān rāksasā jagmur agratah, bhīmarūpā mahākāyāh prahastasya purahsarāh/ vyūdhenaiva sughoreņa pūrvadvārāt sa niryayau, gajayūtha nikāśena balena mahatā vṛtaḥ/ sāgarapratimaughena vṛtas tena balena saḥ, prahasto niryayau tūrṇam kruddhah kālāntakopamah/tasya niryāṇa ghoṣena rākṣasānām ca nardatām, lankāyām sarvabhūtāni vinedur vikṛtaiḥ svaraiḥ/ vyabhram ākāśam āviśya māmsaśoṇitabhojanāḥ, maṇḍalāny apasavyāni khagāś cakrū ratham prati/vamantyah pāvakajvālāh śivā ghorā vavāśire/antariksāt papātolkā vāyuś ca paruso vavau, anyonyam abhisamrabdhā grahāś ca na cakāśire/ vavarsū rudhiram cāsya sisicuś ca purahsarān, ketumūrdhani grdhro 'sya vilīno dakṣiṇāmukhaḥ' sārather bahuśaś cāsya saṃgrāmam avagāhataḥ, pratodo nyapatad dhastāt sūtasya hayasādinah/ niryāna śrīś ca yāsyāsīd bhāsyarā ca sudurlabhā, sā

nanāśa muhūrtena same ca skhalitā hayāḥ/ prahastam tv abhiniryāntam prakhyāta balapauruṣam, yudhi nānāpraharaṇā kapisenābhyavartata/ atha ghoṣaḥ sutumulo harīṇām samajāyata, vṛkṣān ārujatām caiva gurvīś cāgṛhṇatām śilāḥ/ ubhe pramudite sainye rakṣogaṇavanaukasām, vegitānām samarthānām anyonyavadhakāṅkṣiṇām, parasparam cāhvayatām ninādaḥ śrūyate mahān/ tataḥ prahastaḥ kapirājavāhinīm; abhipratasthe vijayāya durmatiḥ, vivṛddhavegām ca viveśa tām camūm; yathā mumūrṣuḥ śalabho vibhāvasum/

On receiving the intimation about Akampana's death, Ravana got infuriated yet again and kept on thinking deep. Then he addressed 'yuddhakala kovida' Prahasta had said with 'samayasphuurti': Maha Rakshasa Veera: 'you are well aware that Lankapuri is now gloomy and the citizens are full of apprehension and nervousness. I am not able to decide as to who could redeem the situation. I might even instruct my brother Kumbhakarna, or my own son, or Nikumbha or you my able Senapati yourself. Therefore I suggest that you may get ready to return with glorious success where the vaanara sena is yearning for their death. You are aware that Vaanaras are basically of chanchala buddhi and are ever fearful and Rama Lakshmanas are entirely dependent on them. āpatsamsásrevo nātra nihsamsavīkrtā/ pratilomānulomam vā yad vā no manyase hitam/ rāvaņenaivam uktas tu prahasto vāhinīpatiḥ, rākṣasendram uvācedam asurendram ivośanā/ Prahasta! You are aware that in any battle there is always a tag of uncertainty as success is possible or otherwise since that leads to mrithya and hence that apprehension always. Now you may like to comment. rājan mantritapūrvam nah kuśalaih saha mantribhih, vivādas cāpi no vṛttaḥ samavekṣya parasparam/pradānena tu sītāyāh śreyo vyavasitam mayā, apradāne punar yuddham drstam etat tathaiya nah/ so 'ham dānaiś ca mānaiś ca satatam pūjitas tvayā, sāntvaiś ca vividhaiḥ kāle kim na kuryām priyam tava/ na hi me jīvitam rakṣyam putradāradhanāni vā, tvam paśya mām juhūsantam tvadarthe jīvitam yudhi/ Then Prahasta replied: 'Maha Raja! we the able Senapatis have already discussed among ourselves about the present situation as Maha Daithya Guru to Bali Chakravarti. But we are not able to arrive at a common decision. My personal feeling would be that returning Sita Devi would be auspicious for all of us. But you had all along honoured me by daanasatkaaras from time to time. And how indeed could I ever heartily reciprocate my indebtedness to you. Trust me when I assure you that my life, wife, progeny and welfare certainly not at stake. I have least hesitation to assert that my very life be sacrificed in 'agni jwaalaas' for your sake.' Having stated thus, Prahasta instructed the his chief to get the Rakshasa Seva to be readied at once. Then having dressed up in his vajra kavacha and the battle worthy yudhaas alighted his chariot. Having crossed Lankapuri, the maha kaaya rakshasa pramukhas leading his charitot resorted to 'shankhaaraavaas'and'megha garjana samaana ninaadaas' of victory shouts, as four of Prahasta's sachivass named Narantaka, Kumbha Hanu, Maha naada and Samutrata surrouned him on all the sides of his chariot by riding horses. As Prahasta appeared like pralaya kaala Yama Raja himself with anger and decisiveness. But there were some 'ashubha suchanas' like groups of owls and ulkaapata on the skies, even as Maha Kaaya Vaanara Yoddhas were encounterd with broad shoulders with huge trees and mountain boulders with resounding noises of excited with readiness to attack.

Sarga Fifty Eight follows:

Tataḥ prahastam niryāntam bhīmam bhīmaparākramam, garjantam sumahākāyam rākṣasair abhisamvṛtam/ dadarśa mahatī senā vānarāṇām balīyasām, atisamjātaroṣāṇām prahastam abhigarjatām/ khaḍgaśaktyaṣṭibāṇāś ca śūlāni musalāni ca, gadāś ca parighāḥ prāsā vividhāś ca paraśvadhāḥ/ dhanūmṣi ca vicitrāṇi rākṣasānām jayaiṣiṇām, pragṛhītāny aśobhanta vānarān abhidhāvatām/ jagṛhuḥ pādapāmś cāpi puṣpitān vānararṣabhāḥ, śilāś ca vipulā dīrghā yoddhukāmāḥ plavamgamāḥ/ teṣām anyonyam āsādya samgrāmaḥ sumahān abhūt, bahūnām aśmavṛṣṭim ca śaravṛṣṭim ca varṣatām/ bahavo rākṣasā yuddhe bahūn vānarayūthapān, vānarā rākṣasāmś cāpi nijaghnur bahavo bahūn/ śūlaiḥ pramathitāḥ ke cit ke cit tu paramāyudhaiḥ, parighair āhatāḥ ke cit ke cic chinnāḥ paraśvadhaiḥ/ nirucchvāsāḥ punaḥ ke cit patitā dharaṇītale, vibhinnahṛdayāḥ ke cid iṣusamtānasamditāḥ/ ke cid dvidhākrtāh khadgaih sphurantah patitā bhuvi, vānarā rākṣasaih śūlaih pārśvataś ca vidāritāh/ vānaraiś

cāpi samkruddhai rāksasaughāh samantatah, pādapair giriśrngaiś ca sampistā vasudhātale/ vajrasparšatalair hastair mustibhiś ca hatā bhrśam, vemuh śonitam āsyebhyo viśīrnadaśaneksanah/ ārtasvaram ca svanatām simhanādam ca nardatām, babhūva tumulah śabdo harīnām rakşasām yudhi/ vānarā rākṣasāḥ kruddhā vīramārgam anuvratāḥ, vivṛttanayanāḥ krūrāś cakruḥ karmāṇy abhītavat/ narāntakah kumbhahanur mahānādah samunnatah, ete prahastasacivāh sarve jaghnur vanaukasah/ teṣām āpatatām śīghram nighnatām cāpi vānarān, dvivido giriśṛṅgeṇa jaghānaikam narāntakam/ durmukhah punar utpātya kapih sa vipuladrumam, rākṣasam kṣiprahastas tu samunnatam apothayat/ jāmbavāms tu susamkruddhah pragrhva mahatīm śilām, pātavām āsa tejasvī mahānādasva vaksasi/ atha kumbhahanus tatra tārenāsādya vīryavān, vrksenābhihato mūrdhni prānāms tatyāja rāksasah/amṛsyamānas tat karma prahasto ratham āsthitah, cakāra kadanam ghoram dhanuspānir vanaukasām/āvarta iva samjajñe ubhayoh senayos tadā, ksubhitasyāprameyasya sāgarasyeva nisvanah/ mahatā hi śaraughena prahasto yuddhakovidah, ardayām āsa samkruddho vānarān paramāhave/ vānarāṇām śarīrais tu rākṣasānām ca medinī, babhūva nicitā ghorā patitair iva parvataih/ sā mahīrudhiraugheṇa pracchannā samprakāśate, samchannā mādhave māsi palāśair iva puṣpitaih/ hatavīraughavaprām tu bhagnāvudhamahādrumām, sonitaughamahātovām vamasāgaragāminīm/ yakṛtplīhamahāpankām vinikīrṇāntraśaivalām, bhinnakāyaśiromīnām angāvayavaśādvalām/ grdhrahamsagaṇākīrṇām kankasārasasevitām, medhaḥphenasamākīrṇām ārtastanitanisvanām/tām kāpurusadustārām yuddhabhūmimayīm nadīm, nadīm iva ghanāpāye hamsasārasasevitām/rāksasāh kapimukhyāś ca terus tām dustarām nadīm, yathā padmarajodhvastām nalinīm gajayūthapāh/ tatah srjantam bāṇaughān prahastam syandane sthitam, dadarśa tarasā nīlo vinighnantam plavamgamān/sa tam paramadurdharṣam āpatantam mahākapiḥ, prahastam tāḍayām āsa vṛkṣam utpāṭya vīryavān/ sa tenābhihataḥ kruddho nadan rākṣasapumgavaḥ, vavarṣa śaravarṣāṇi plavagānām camūpatau/ apārayan vārayitum pratyagrhnān nimīlitah, yathaiva govrso varsam śāradam śīghram āgatam/ evam eva prahastasya śaravarsam durāsadam, nimīlitāksah sahasā nīlah sehe sudārunam/ rositah śaravarsena sālena mahatā mahān, prajaghāna hayān nīlah prahastasya manojavān/vidhanus tu krtas tena prahasto vāhinīpatih, pragrhya musalam ghoram syandanād avapupluve/ tāv ubhau vāhinīmukhyau jātarosau tarasvinau, sthitau kṣatajadigdhāngau prabhinnāv iva kuñjarau/ ullikhantau sutīkṣṇābhir damṣṭrābhir itaretaram, simhaśārdūlasadrśau simhaśārdūlacestitau/vikrāntavijavau vīrau samaresv anivartinau, kāṅksamānau vaśah prāptuṁ vrtravāsavayoh samau/ ājaghāna tadā nīlaṁ lalāte musalena sah, prahastah paramāyastas tasya susrāva śoṇitam/ tatah śoṇitadigdhāngah pragrhya sumahātarum, prahastasyorasi kruddho visasarja mahākapih/ tam acintyaprahāram sa pragrhya musalam mahat, abhidudrāva balinam balī nīlam plavamgamam/ tam ugravegam samrabdham āpatantam mahākapih, tatah sampreksya jagrāha mahāvego mahāśilām/ tasya yuddhābhikāmasya mrdhe musalayodhinah, prahastasya śilām nīlo mūrdhni tūrnam apātayat/ sā tena kapimukhyena vimuktā mahatī śilā, bibheda bahudhā ghorā prahastasya śiras tadā/ sa gatāsur gataśrīko gatasattvo gatendriyaḥ, papāta sahasā bhūmau chinnamūla iva drumah/ vibhinnaśirasas tasya bahu susrāvaśonitam, śarīrād api susrāva gireh prasravaṇam yathā/ hate prahaste nīlena tad akampyam mahad balam, rakṣasām aprahṛṣṭānām lankām abhijagāma ha/ na śekuh samavasthātum nihate vāhinīpatau, setubandham samāsādva viśīrnam salilam yathā/ hate tasmim's camūmukhye rākṣasas te nirudyamāḥ, rakṣaḥpatigrham gatvā dhyānamūkatvam āgatāḥ/ tatas tu nīlo vijayī mahābalaḥ; praśasyamānaḥ svakṛtena karmaṇā, sametya rāmeṇa salaksmanena; prahṛstarūpas tu babhūva yūthapah/

As Prahasta thus got into the thick battle against the 'maha vaanara sena' with desperation and confidence, Shri Rama smiled at Vibhishana and enquired about Prahasta's background and the latther explained that Prahasta was a trusted Senapati of King Ravana, an 'astra-shastra vigjnaana pramukha parakama shura veera'. Even as Vibhishana was explaining to Shri Rama, there were cloud burst like garjanas of both Raakshasa-and Vaanara Maha Senas with mutual attacks and the Rakshasa Veeras surrounded the Vaanara Shreshthas as Prahasta was proactivising the giant sized Rahshasaas to hit and smother the vaanaras. Inspired by Prahastas while closing in groups of Vanaraas started using their khadgas, shaktis, shulas, musalas, gadas,parighas, praasaas, and vichitra dhanush banaas at close and tight

encounters leaving behend heaps of vanaras lying dead. Vanara shreshthas were retaliating with thrashing of maka vrikshas and mountauin rocks of heavy weight-volume and height. As Vanaras of too of huge height and might smashing the Maha Rakshasaas too with matching attacks and counterings the swings of balances were truly nonstop. There were frequent shrils and shrieks on both sides of despairs and spurts of overjoys turned the battle field into pandemonium. As Prahasta's sachivaas vix. Narantaka-Kumbhahanu-Maha Naada and Sumatrata were devastating the Vanara Sheshthas, Jambavan pulled up a massive mountain boulder as Mahanaada's robust chest bursted out and in the same sweep Sumatra too. Narantaka was similarly treated by Dvivida Vaanarasherestha by a parvata shikhira. Kumbhahanu Rakshasa was smashed with a treetop as uprooted by Taara namaka. mahatā hi śaraugheṇa prahasto yuddhakovidah,ardayām āsa samkruddho vānarān paramāhave/ vānarānām śarīrais tu rāksasānām ca medinī, babhūva nicitā ghorā patitair iva parvataih/ Revengefully burst out fuming anger and anxiety of his sachivas with the crumblings and slashing sweeps of mountain shikharas respectively with those of boulders and maha vrikshas as uprooted, Prahasta Maha Senapati attacked Vaanara Sena with his non stop 'baana parampara'. tatah srjantam banaughan prahastam syandane sthitam, dadarsa tarasa nīlo vinighnantam plavamgamān/sa tam paramadurdharsam āpatantam mahākapih, prahastam tādavām āsa vṛkṣam utpāṭya vīryavān/ sa tenābhihataḥ kruddho nadan rākṣasapumgavaḥ, vavarṣa śaravarṣāṇi plavagānām camūpatau/Then Maha Vaanara Neela noticed creating havoc in the vaanara sena as several of them were getting greivously hurt on their shoulders, feet, and heads as there was a vast vaamara samhara. Prahasta's fiery arrows then attacked Neela too and was hurt and in return, the Maha Vaanara uprooted two maha vrikshas and hurled at Prahast's body simultaneously. The sweep and speed with which Neela's vriksha dwandva had hurt Prahasta led to megha garjana like shrieks and on quick recovery had releaesed 'baana parampara' on Maha Neela. apārayan vārayitum pratyagrhņān nimīlitah, vathaiva govrso varsam śāradam śīghram āgatam/ evam eva prahastasya śaravarsam durāsadam, nimīlitāksah sahasā nīlah sehe sudārunam/ rositah saravarsena sālena mahatā mahān, prajaghāna hayān nīlah prahastasya manojavān/vidhanus tu kṛtas tena prahasto vāhinīpatih, pragṛhya musalam ghoram syandanād avapupluve/ Even as he was not properly able to notice the impact of Prahasta's 'baana pravaaha', Neela had almost closed his eyes and withstood his sufferanace, like a vrishabha or bull suffers the onslaught of 'sharad kaalaa varsha dhaaraas'! Then maha vaanara yoddha Neela pulled up with the might of his arms a 'saala vriksha' and hurled at the horses of Prahasta's chariot horses as also of his dhanush when the Rakshasa jumped off with his 'bhayanaka musala'. taavubhau vāhinīmukhyau jātarosau tarasvinau, sthitau ksatajadigdhāṅgau prabhinnāv iva kuñjarau/ ullikhantau sutīksnābhir damstrābhir itaretaram, simhaśārdūlasadrśau simhaśārdūlacestitau/ vikrāntavijayau vīrau samaresv anivartinau, kānksamānau yaśah prāptum vrtravāsavayoh samau/ ājaghāna tadā nīlam lalāte musalena sah, prahastah paramāyastas tasva susrāva sonitam/ Both the Senapatis of Ravana-Sugrivas, both being a wind power like vega shaalis, were like madashaali elephants or like 'simha shaardulas' got readied for the encounter face to face. Both the Maha Veeras replete with 'paraakrama-vijayaakaanksha-samara maha veeraas' with the unique resolve of success faced each other as at the context of Vritraasura and Indra [Recalling of Sarga 24 of Esssence of Vakmiki Kishkindha Ramauana] while with no loss of time Prahasta gave a mighty hit with his 'loha musala' in the face of Neela whose forehead was torn off as blood flows drizzed all over his face. tataḥ śoṇitadigdhāṅgaḥ pragṛhya sumahātarum, prahastasyorasi kruddho visasarja mahākapih/ tam acintyaprahāram sa pragrhya musalam mahat, abhidudrāva balinam balī nīlam plavamgamam/ tam ugravegam samrabdham āpatantam mahākapih, tatah sampreksya jagrāha mahāvego mahāśilām/ tasya yuddhābhikāmasya mṛdhe musalayodhinah, prahastasya śilām nīlo mūrdhni tūrnam apātayat/ Even as the 'rakta dhaaraas' were dripping away all over his body parts notwithstanding, the fire like flames of his huge physique emboldened his mental resolve to lug and drag a gigantic maha vriksha and flinged with all his body power ar Prahasta's robust chest. Despite the 'praahara', the bhayankara vegashaali Rakshasa Senapati attacked Neela Vaanara Veera yet again, but the equally veegashaali Neela pulled up a very colossal mountain boulder and tossed at the 'musala yoddhi nishachara senapati mastaka' was torn to pieces. Sa gataasurgatashriko gatasatvo gatendriyah, papāta sahasā bhūmau chinnamūla iva drumaḥ/ vibhinnaśirasas tasya bahu susrāvaśoṇitam, śarīrād api susrāva gireh prasravanam vathā/ hate prahaste nīlena tad akampyam mahad balam, raksasām aprahrstānām

lankām abhijagāma ha/Thus Prahasta's 'praanapankhaas' flew off high to skies, as his body colour faded off as his body parts were crushed as a tree crashed down uprooted.hate tasmim's camūmukhye rākṣasas te nirudyamāḥ, rakṣaḥpatigṛham gatvā dhyānamūkatvam āgatāḥ/ tatas tu nīlo vijayī mahābalaḥ; praśasya - mānaḥ svakṛtena karmaṇā, sametya rāmeṇa salakṣmaṇena; prahṛṣṭarūpas tu babhūva yūthapaḥ/ As Vanara Senapati Neela had triumphed over the counter Senapati of Rakshasaas named Prahasta, the Rakshas Sena ran back to Ravana's Lankapuri in dismay like a bridge collapse hastens water flows to the river banks. Then the defeated rakshasa sena stood before King Ravana with their heads and chins down. On the other hand, the proud Neela hastened too vith his victory 'ninaadaas' of the Maha Vaanaras to Shri Rama Lakshmana-Sugriva-Vibhushanas as in the midst of several other Vaanara Yoddhhas.

Sarga Fifty Nine

Ravana's entry with a wallop and exit with a whimper by subduing Sugriva, Lakshmana, Hanuman, Neela Yoddhas but exited with Shri Rama disgraced Ravana who exited crestfallen with shame

Tasmin hate rākṣasasainyapāle; plavamgamānām ṛṣabheṇa yuddhe, bhīmāyudham sāgaratulyavegam; pradudruve rāksasarājasainvam/ gatvā tu rakso'dhipateh śaśamsuh; senāpatim pāvakasūnuśastam/ tac cāpi tesām vacanam niśamya; rakso'dhipah krodhavaśam jagāma/ samkhye prahastam nihatam niśamya; śokārditah krodhaparītacetāh, uvāca tān nairṛtayodhamukhyān; indro yathā cāmarayodhamukhyān/ nāvajñā ripave kāryā yair indrabalasūdanaḥ, sūditaḥ sainyapālo me sānuyātraḥ sakuñjaraḥ/ so 'ham ripuvināśāya vijayāyāvicārayan,svayam eva gamişyāmi raņaśīrṣam tad adbhutam/ adya tad vānarānīkam rāmam ca sahalaksmanam,nirdahisyāmi bānaughair vanam dīptair ivāgnibhih/ sa evam uktvā jvalanaprakāśam; ratham turamgottamarājiyuktam, prakāśamānam vapusā jvalantam; samārurohāmara -rājaśatruh/ sa śankhabherīpataha pranādair; āsphotitaksveditasimhanādaih, punyaih stavaiś cāpy abhipūjyamānas; tadā yayau rāksasarājamukhyah/ sa śailajīmūtanikāśa rūpair; māmsāśanaih pāvakadīptanetraih, babhau vrto rākṣasarājamukhyair; bhūtair vrto rudra ivāmareśah/ tato nagaryāh sahasā mahaujā; niskramya tad vānarasainvam ugram, mahārnavābhrastanitam dadarśa; samudyatam pādapaśailahastam/ tad rāksasānīkam atipracandam; ālokva rāmo bhujagendrabāhuh, vibhīsanam śastrabhṛtām variṣṭham; uvāca senānugataḥ pṛthuśrīḥ/ nānāpatākādhvajaśastrajuṣṭam; prāsāsiśūlāyudhacakrajustam,sainyam nagendropamanāgajustam; kasyedam aksobhyam abhīrujustam/ tatas tu rāmasya niśamya vākyam; vibhīsanah śakrasamānavīryah, śaśamsa rāmasya balapravekam; mahātmanām rāksasapumgavānām/ vo 'sau gajaskandhagato mahātmā; navoditārkopamatāmravaktrah, prakampayan nāgaśiro 'bhyupaiti; hy akampanam tv enam avehi rājan/ yo 'sau rathastho mṛgarājaketur; dhūnvan dhanuḥ śakradhanuḥprakāśam, karīva bhāty ugravivṛttadamṣṭraḥ; sa indrajin nāma varapradhānah/ yaś caişa vindhyāstamahendrakalpo; dhanvī rathastho 'tiratho 'tivīryah, visphārayamś cāpam atulyamānam; nāmnātikāyo 'tivivīddhakāyah/ yo 'sau navārkoditatāmracakṣur; āruhya ghantāninadapranādam, gajam kharam garjati vai mahātmā; mahodaro nāma sa esa vīrah/ vo 'sau hayam kāñcanacitrabhāndam; āruhya samdhyābhragiriprakāśam, prāsam samudyamya marīcinaddham; piśāca eṣāśanitulyavegaḥ/ yaś caiṣa śūlam niśitam pragrhya; vidyutprabham kimkaravajravegam, vṛṣendram āsthāya giriprakāśam; āyāti so 'sau triśirā yaśasvī/ asau ca jīmūtanikāśa rūpah; kumbhah pṛthuvyūdhasujātavaksāh, samāhitah pannagarājaketur; visphārayan bhāti dhanur vidhūnvan/ yaś caisa jāmbūnadavajrajustam; dīptam sadhūmam parigham pragrhya, āyāti raksobalaketubhūtah; so 'sau nikumbho 'dbhutaghorakarmā/ yaś caiṣa cāpāsiśaraughajuṣṭam; patākinam pāvakadīptarūpam, ratham samāsthāya vibhāty udagro; narāntako 'sau nagasrngayodhī' yas caişa nānāvidhaghorarūpair; vyāghrostranāgendramgendravaktraih, bhūtair vrto bhāti vivrttanetraih; so 'sau surānām api darpahantā/ yatraitad indupratimam vibhātic; chattram sitam sūkṣmaśalākam agryam/ atraiṣa rakso'dhipatir mahātmā; bhūtair yrto rudra iyāyabhāti/ asau kirītī calakundalāsyo; nāgendrayindhyopa mabhīmakāyah, mahendravaivasvatadarpahantā; rakso'dhipah sūrya ivāvabhāti/ pratyuvāca tato rāmo vibhīṣaṇam arimdamam, aho dīpto mahātejā rāvaṇo rākṣaseśvaraḥ/ āditya iva duṣprekṣyo raśmibhir bhāti rāvanah, suvvaktam laksave hy asva rūpam tejahsamāvrtam/ devadānavavīrānām vapur

naivamvidham bhavet, yādrśam rāksasendrasya vapur etat prakāśate/ sarve parvatasamkāśāh sarve parvatayodhinah, sarve dīptāyudhadharā yodhaś cāsya mahaujasah/ bhāti rāksasarājo 'sau pradīptair bhīmavikramaiḥ, bhūtaiḥ parivṛtas tīkṣṇair dehavadbhir ivāntakah/ evam uktvā tato rāmo dhanur ādāya vīryavān, lakṣmaṇānucaras tasthau samuddhṛtya śarottamam/ tataḥ sa rakṣo'dhipatir mahātmā; raksāmsi tānv āha mahābalāni, dvāresu carvāgrhagopuresu; sunirvrtās tisthata nirviśankāh/ visarjavitvā sahasā tatas tān; gateşu rakṣaḥsu yathāniyogam, vyadārayad vānarasāgaraugham; mahājhaṣaḥ pūrmam ivārnavaugham/ tam āpatantam sahasā samīkṣya; dīpteṣucāpam yudhi rākṣasendram, mahat samutpātya mahīdharāgram; dudrāva rakso'dhipatim harīśah/ tac chailaśrngam bahuvṛkṣasānum; pragrhya cikṣepa niśācarāya, tam āpatantam sahasā samīksya; bibheda bānais tapanīyapunkhaih/ tasmin pravrddhottamasānuvrkse; śrnge vikīrne patite prithivyām, mahāhikalpam śaram antakābham; samādade rāksasalokanāthah/sa tam grhītvānilatulvavegam; savisphulingajvalanaprakāśam, bānam mahendrāśanitulyavegam; ciksepa sugrīvavadhāya rustah/ sa sāyako rāvanabāhumuktah; śakrāśaniprakhyavapuh śitāgrah, sugrīvam āsādya bibheda vegād; guheritā kraucam ivograśaktih/ sa sāyakārto viparītacetāḥ; kūjan pṛthivyām nipapāta vīraḥ, tam prekṣya bhūmau patitam visamjmam; neduh prahrstā vudhi vātudhānāh/ tato gavākso gavavah sudamstras; tatharsabho įvotimukho nalaś ca, śailān samudyamya vivṛddhakāyāḥ; pradudruvus tam prati rākṣasendram/ teṣām prahārān sa cakāra meghān; rakṣo'dhipo bāṇagaṇaiḥ śitāgraiḥ, tān vānarendrān api bāṇajālair; bibheda jāmbūnadacitra punkhaih/ te vānarendrās tridaśāribānair; bhinnā nipetur bhuvi bhīmarūpāh, tatas tu tad vānarasainyam ugram; pracchādayām āsa sa bānajālaih/ te vadhyamānāh patitāgryavīrā; nānadyamānā bhayaśalyaviddhāh/ śākhāmṛgā rāvaṇasāyakārtā; jagmuh śaraṇyam śaraṇam sma rāmam/ tato mahātmā sa dhanur dhanuşmān; ādāya rāmaḥ saharā jagāma, tam lakṣmaṇaḥ prāñjalir abhyupetya; uvāca vākyam paramārthayuktam/ kāmam āryaḥ suparyāpto vadhāyāsya durātmanah, vidhamişyāmy aham nīcam anujānīhi mām vibho/ tam abravīn mahātejā rāmah satyaparākramah, gaccha yatnaparaś cāpi bhava laksmana samyuge/ rāvano hi mahāvīryo rane 'dbhutaparākramah,trailokyenāpi samkruddho dusprasahyo na samśayah/ tasya cchidrāni mārgasva svacchidrāni ca gopaya, caksusā dhanusā yatnād rakṣātmānam samāhitaḥ/ rāghavasya vacaḥ śrutvā sampariṣvajya pūjya ca, abhivādya tato rāmam yayau saumitrir āhavam/ sa rāvaņam vāraņahastabāhur; dadarša dīptodyatabhīmacāpam, pracchādayantam śaravṛṣṭijālais; tān vānarān bhinnavikīrṇadehān/ tam ālokya mahātejā hanūmān mārutātmajā, nivārya śarajālāni pradudrāva sa rāvanam/ ratham tasva samāsādva bhujam udvamva daksinam, trāsavan rāvaṇam dhīmān hanūmān vākyam abravīt/ devadānavagandharvā yakṣāś ca saha rākṣasaiḥ, avadhyatvāt tvayā bhagnā vānarebhyas tu te bhayam/ esa me daksino bāhuh pañcaśākhah samudyatah, vidhamisyati te dehād bhūtātmānam cirositam/ śrutvā hanūmato vākyam rāvano bhīmavikramah, samraktanayanah krodhād idam vacanam abravīt/ ksipram prahara nihśankam sthirām kīrtim avāpnuhi, tatas tvām jñātivikrāntam nāśayisyāmi vānara/ rāvanasya vacah śrutvā vāyusūnur vaco 'bravīt, prahṛtam hi mayā pūrvam akṣam smara sutam tava/ evam ukto mahātejā rāvaņo rākṣaseśvaraḥ, ājaghānānila sutam talenorasi vīryavān/sa talābhihatas tena cacāla ca muhur muhuh, ājaghānābhisamkruddhas talenaivāmaradviṣam/ tatas talenābhihato vānareṇa mahātmanā, daśagrīvaḥ samādhūto yathā bhūmicale 'calah/ saṁgrāme taṁ tathā drstva rāvanaṁ talatāditam, rsayo vānarāh siddhā nedur devāh sahāsurāh/ athāśvasya mahātejā rāvano vākyam abravīt, sādhu vānaravīryena ślāghanīyo 'si me ripuh/ rāvaņenaivam uktas tu mārutir vākyam abravīt, dhig astu mama vīryam tu yat tvam jīvasi rāvaņa/ sakrt tu praharedānīm durbuddhe kim vikatthase, tatas tvām māmako mustir navisyāmi yathāksayam, tato mārutivākyena krodhas tasya tadājvalat/samraktanayano yatnān mustim udyamya daksinam, pātayām āsa vegena vānarorasi vīryavān, hanūmān vaksasi vyūdhe samcacāla hatah punah/vihvalam tam tadā dṛṣṭvā hanūmantam mahābalam, rathenātirathaḥ śīghram nīlam prati samabhyagāt/ pannagapratimair bhīmaiḥ paramarmātibhedibhiḥ, śarair ādīpayām āsa nīlam haricamūpatim/ sa śaraughasamāyasto nīlaḥ kapicamūpatih, karenaikena śailāgram rakso'dhipataye 'srjat' hanūmān api tejasvī samāśvasto mahāmanāḥ, viprekṣamāṇo yuddhepsuḥ saroṣam idam abravīt/ nīlena saha samyuktam rāvaṇam rāksaseśvaram,anyena yudhyamānasya na yuktam abhidhāvanam/ rāvano 'pi mahātejās tac chrhgam saptabhih śaraih, ājaghāna sutīksnāgrais tad vikīrnam papāta ha/ tad vikīrnam gireh śrṅgam dṛstvā haricamūpatiḥ, kālāgnir iva jajvāla krodhena paravīrahā/ so 'śvakarṇān dhavān sālām's cūtām's cāpi supuspitān, anvāms ca vividhān vrksān nīlas ciksepa samvuge/ sa tān vrksān samāsādva praticiccheda

rāvanah, abhyavarsat sughorena śaravarsena pāvakim/ abhivrstah śaraughena megheneva mahācalah, hrasvam krtvā tadā rūpam dhvajāgre nipapāta ha/ pāvakātmajam ālokva dhvajāgre samavasthitam, jajvāla rāvaņah krodhāt tato nīlo nanāda ha/ dhvajāgre dhanuşaś cāgre kirīṭāgre ca tam harim, lakṣmaṇo 'tha hanūmām's ca dṛṣṭvā rāma's ca vismitāḥ rāvaṇo 'pi mahātejāḥ kapilāghavavismitaḥ, astram āhārayām āsa dīptam āgneyam adbhutam/ tatas te cukruśur hrstā labdhalaksyāh playamah, nīlalāghavasambhrāntam drstvā rāvaņam āhave/ vānarānām ca nādena samrabdho rāvaņas tadā, sambhramāviṣṭahṛdayo na kim cit pratyapadyata/āgneyenātha samyuktam gṛhītvā rāvaṇaḥ śaram, dhvajašīrşasthitam nīlam udaikṣata niśācarah/ tato 'bravīn mahātejā rāvano rākṣaseśvarah, kape lāghavayukto 'si māyayā parayānayā/ jīvitam khalu rakṣasva yadi śaknoṣi vānara, tāni tāny ātmarūpāṇi srjase tvam anekaśah/ tathāpi tvām mayā muktah sāyako 'straprayojitah, jīvitam pariraksantam jīvitād bhramśayisyati/evam uktvā mahābāhū rāvano rāksaseśvarah, samdhāya bānam astrena camūpatim atādayat/ so 'strayuktena bānena nīlo vaksasi tāditah, nirdahyamānah sahasā nipapāta mahītale/ pitṛmāhātmya saṃyogād ātmanaś cāpi tejasā, jānubhyām apatad bhūmau na ca prānair vyayujyata/ visamiñam vānaram drstvā dasagrīvo raņotsukah, rathenāmbudanādena saumitrim abhidudruve/ tam āha saumitrir adīnasattvo; visphāravantam dhanur apramevam, anvehi mām eva niśācarendra; na vānarāms tvam prati yoddhum arhasi/ sa tasya vākyam paripūrnaghosam; jyāsabdam ugram ca nisamya rājā, āsādya saumitrim avasthitam tam; kopānvitam vākyam uvāca rakṣaḥ/ diṣṭyāsi me rāghava drstimārgam; prāpto 'ntagāmī viparītabuddhih, asmin ksane yāsvasi mrtyudeśam; samsādyamāno mama bānajālaih/ tam āha saumitrir avismayāno; garjantam udvrttasitāgradamstram, rājan na garjanti mahāprabhāvā; vikatthase pāpakṛtām variṣṭha/ jānāmi vīryam tava rākṣasendra; balam pratāpam ca parākramam ca, avasthito 'ham śaracāpapāṇir; āgaccha kim moghavikatthanena/ sa evam uktaḥ kupitaḥ sasarja; rakşo'dhipah saptaśarān supunkhān, tāml lakşmanah kāñcanacitrapunkhaiś; ciccheda bāṇair niśitāgradhāraiļ/ tān prekṣamāṇaḥ sahasā nikṛttān; nikṛttabhogān iva pannagendrān, lankeśvaraḥ krodhavaśam jagāma; sasarja cānyān niśitān pṛṣatkān/ sa bāṇavarṣam tu vavarṣa tīvram; rāmānujah kārmukasamprayuktam, ksurārdhacandrottamakarnibhallaih; śarāmś ca ciccheda na cuksubhe ca/ sa lakşmanas cāsu sarān sitāgrān; mahendravajrāsanitulyavegān, samdhāya cāpe jvalanaprakāsān; sasarja rakşo'dhipater vadhāya/ sa tān praciccheda hi rākṣasendras; chittvā ca tāml lakṣmaṇam ājaghāna, śarena kālāgnisamaprabhena; svayambhudattena lalātadeśe/ sa laksmano rāvanasāyakārtaś; cacāla cāpam śithilam pragrhya, punaś ca samiñām pratilabhya krcchrāc; ciccheda cāpam tridaśendraśatroh/ nikṛttacāpam tribhir ājaghāna; bāṇais tadā dāśarathiḥ śitāgraiḥ, sa sāyakārto vicacāla rājā; kṛcchrāc ca samjñām punar āsasāda/ sa krttacāpah śaratāditaś ca; svedārdragātro rudhirāvasiktah, jagrāha śaktim samudagraśaktih; svayambhudattām yudhi devaśatruh/ sa tām vidhūmānalasamnikāśām; vitrāsanīm vānaravāhinīnām, ciksepa śaktim tarasā įvalantīm; saumitraye rāksasarāstranāthah/tām āpatantīm bharatānujo 'strair; jaghāna bānaiś ca hutāgnikalpaih, tathāpi sā tasya viveša śaktir; bhujāntaram dāśarather viśālam/ śaktyā brāmyā tu saumitris tāditas tu stanāntare, viṣṇor acintyam svam bhāgam ātmānam pratyanusmarat/ tato dānavadarpaghnam saumitrim devakantakah, tam pīdayitvā bāhubhyām aprabhur langhane 'bhavat/ himavān mandaro merus trailokyam vā sahāmaraiḥ, śakyam bhujābhyām uddhartum na samkhve bharatānujah/ athainam vaisnavam bhāgam mānusam deham āsthitam, visamiñam laksmanam drstvā rāvano vismito 'bhavat/ atha vāvusutah kruddho rāvanam samabhidravat, ājaghānorasi kruddho vajrakalpena muştinā/ tena muştiprahāreņa rāvaņo rākṣaseśvaraḥ, jānubhyām apatad bhūmau cacāla ca papāta ca/ visamjñam rāvanam drstvā samare bhīmavikramam, ṛsayo vānarāś caiva nedur devāh savāsavāh/ hanūmān api tejasvī laksmanam rāvanārditam, anavad rāghavābhyāśam bāhubhyām parigrhya tam/ vāyusūnoh suhrttvena bhaktyā paramayā ca sah, śatrūnām aprakampyo 'pi laghutvam agamat kapeh/ tam samutsrjya sā śaktih saumitrim yudhi durjayam, rāvaṇasya rathe tasmin sthānam punar upāgamat/ rāvaṇo 'pi mahātejāḥ prāpya samjñām mahāhave, ādade niśitān bāṇāñ jagrāha ca mahad dhanuh/āśvastaś ca viśalyaś ca lakṣmaṇah śatrusūdanaḥ, viṣṇor bhāgam amīmāmsyam ātmānam pratyanusmaran/ nipātitamahāvīrām vānarāṇām mahācamūm, rāghavas tu raņe drstvā rāvanam samabhidravat/ athainam upasamgamya hanūmān vākyam abravīt, mama prstham samāruhya raksasam śāstum arhasi/ tac chrutvā rāghavo vākyam vāyuputrena bhāsitam, ārohat sahasā śūro hanūmantam mahākapim, rathastham rāvanam samkhye dadarśa manujādhipah/ tam ālokya mahātejāh pradudrāva sa rāghavah, vairocanam iva kruddho visnur abhyudvatāvudhah/ jvāśabdam

akarot tīvram vajranispesanisvanam, girā gambhīrayā rāmo rāksasendram uvāca ha/ tistha tistha mama tvam hi krtvā vipriyam īdrśam, kva nu rāksasaśārdūla gato moksam avāpsyasi/ vadīndravaivasvata bhāskarān vā; svayambhuvaiśvānaraśamkarān vā, gamisyasi tvam daśa vā diśo vā; tathāpi me nādya gato vimokṣyase/ yaś caiṣa śaktyābhihatas tvayādya; icchan viṣādam sahasābhyupetaḥ sa eṣa rakşoganarāja mṛtyuḥ; saputradārasya tavādya yuddhe/ rāghavasya vacaḥ śrutvā rākṣasendro mahākapim, ājaghāna śarais tīkṣṇaiḥ kālānalaśikhopamaiḥ/ rākṣasenāhave tasya tāḍitasyāpi sāyakaiḥ, svabhāvatejoyuktasya bhūyas tejo vyavardhata/ tato rāmo mahātejā rāvaņena kṛtavraṇam, dṛṣṭvā plavagaśārdūlam krodhasya vaśam evivān/ tasvābhisamkramya ratham sacakram; sāśvadhvajacchatra mahāpatākam,sasārathim sāśaniśūlakhadgam; rāmah praciccheda śaraih supunkhaih/ athendraśatrum tarasā jaghāna; bānena vajrāśanisamnibhena, bhujāntare vyūdhasujātarūpe; vajrena merum bhagavān ivendrah/ yo vajrapātāśanisamnipātān; na cuksubhe nāpi cacāla rājā, sa rāmabānābhihato bhṛśārtaś; cacāla cāpam ca mumoca vīrah/ tam vihvalantam prasamīksya rāmah; samādade dīptam athārdhacandram, tenārkavarṇam sahasā kirīṭam; ciccheda rakṣo'dhipater mahātmāh/ tam nirvişāśīvişasamnikāśam; śāntārcişam sūryam ivāprakāśam, gataśriyam krttakirīṭakūṭam; uvāca rāmo vudhi rāksasendram/ krtam tvavā karma mahat subhīmam; hatapravīras ca krtas tvavāham, tasmāt pariśrānta iti vyavasya; na tvam śarair mṛtyuvaśam nayāmi/ sa evam ukto hatadarpaharṣo; nikṛttacāpaḥ sa hatāśvasūtaḥ, śarārditaḥ kṛttamahākirīṭo; viveśa lankām sahasā sma rājā/ tasmin praviṣṭe rajanīcarendre; mahābale dānavadevaśatrau, harīn viśalyān sahalaksmanena; cakāra rāmah paramāhavāgre/ tasmin prabhagne tridasendrasatrau; surāsurā bhūtaganā disas ca, sasāgarāh sarşimahoragāś ca; tathaiva bhūmyambucarāś ca hṛṣṭāḥ/

No doubt having been readily fumed up with sad end of Maha Senapati Prahasta by Agni Putra Neela, Ravanasura fell into introspection and felt that the perseverance, grit and resolve, of 'shatru sena' should neither ignored nor disdained with condemnation. After all, there have been a series of crumblings of giant like Rakshasa Yoddhas and our relief points have so far been very few and far between. so 'ham' ripuvināśāya vijayāyāvicārayan,svayam eva gamişyāmi raṇaśīrṣam tad adbhutam/ adya tad vānarānīkam rāmam ca sahalakṣmaṇam,nirdahiṣyāmi bāṇaughair vanam dīptair ivāgnibhiḥ/Now, I myself should be ready to attack and smother the Shatru sena, lock, stock and barrel, and return with ever renewed success and triumph. I ought to devastate the Vanaras and below par humans of Rama Lakshmanas and reinforce my glory by my 'prajjvalita agni yukta mantrika baana paramparas' and force out the 'rakta maha nadi dhaaraas' for 'prithvi tripti'!' Having declared in his Maha Sabha, the King of Asuras, the deva shatru Ravana like agni himself alighted a decorated elephant as shankha, bheri, pranava and 'jai jai ninaadaas', while 'vaneejana stuti janaas' were ahead. Mountain like maamsaahaari Rakshasaas on their excellently devorated mahaashvaas and elephants too were ahead leading the splendorous King of Rakshasaas proceeded as Rudra himself desended form Kailasha with mahaagni jwaalaass. Having sigthed from a distance, the Maha Vaanara Sena sighted forwarded a message to Shri Rama who was seated with Vibhishana as the latter noticed that Ravana himself was coming forward and explained that he mounted an elephant as followed by the chariot with Indrajit along with his 'dhanur baanas' as Indradhanush like flashes of his mighty arm swings. Then was Atikaaya Rakshasa with his mountainous physique like of vidhyachala, astaachala, mahendra giri samaanas was riding in his chariot. Then Mahodara named mounted on an elephant ghanta dhyani garjanas. Pishacaka named with his praasaayudha seated on a horse back was leading too. Trishira - not to be confused as he who was killed by Rama earlier at the Janashaana- was riding a 'vrishaba' too was in the lead. So was Kumbha- Nikumbha-Narantakas rakshasa yoddhas. Vibhishana continued further and then described Ravana in detail. asau kirīṭī calakuṇḍalāsyo; nāgendravindhyopa -mabhīmakāyaḥ, mahendravaivasvatadarpahantā; rakṣo'dhipaḥ sūrya ivāvabhāti/ 'He is adorned with his kireeta and karna kundalas with such self confidence and of self belief that he could suppress Indra and Yamaraaja even. Then Shri Rama who had initially prefaced the name and fame of this nishachara raja, asserted: 'I am indeed fortunate to see Rayana the evil-incarnate myself. Be assured that I should never erase the blemish of Devi Sita's agony and the consequent impact on my very life and to day itself that injustice be truly repaid and reversed. Then dhanurdhara Shri Rama felt confident that dear Lakshmana too would be with me in the triumph of this Maha Karya.' Meanwhile,

Ravana instucted the Maha Rakshasaas: 'Maha Rakshasa Veeraas! Do please most fearlessly guard the nagara dwaaras with alertness, considering that you are fortunate of attacking vaanara pramukhas'. Having thus alerted the draara paalaka raksasaas, Ravana then proceeded like a mata masya-'timingala'for 'sumudra vikshobana.' He started off the release of 'baana parampara' as Sugriva huled a mountain peak at Ravana and the latter like a 'maha sarpa' hissed and released an arrow which had such 'bhayanaka shakti' which made the parvata collapse just like Swami Kartikeya hit the Krouncha Parvata over which Sugriva stood up and no sooner, the King of Vaanaras tripped down rolling to earh being swooned shocked as Maha Rakshasa Sena roared with 'Jai Rayana, Jai Lankeshwara'! Then Maha Vaanaras named Gavaksha, Gavaya, Sushena, Rishabha, Jyoitirmukha, and Nala having pulled up parvata shikharas attacked Ravana as he released thousands of his 'vichitra pankha banma praharas' arrows in quick succession as thmighty Vaanaras fell down in dusts and crawled on earth and approached Rama for protection. Then Shri Rama moved forward to Ravana. Then Lakshmana intervened and requested Rama to please let him handle this encounter as that this privilege of Rayava naashana be allowed to him. Rama conceeded no doubt but in this 'sangrama' let there be a concrete result. This should be so as Ravana is an in such 'sangraamas' Rayana is noted as an outstanding a known warrior and his speed and dexterity with which he could easily display is reputed everywhere. You may taste that by yoursellf and as such you should ensure your own 'atma raksha'. Having duly noted this precautionary alert, Lakshmana proceeded to Ravana. Meanwhile, Hanuman flew across and faced Ravana: devadānavagandharvā yaksāś ca saha rāksasaih, avadhyatvāt tvayā bhagnā vānarebhyas tu te bhayam/ esa me daksino bāhuh pañcaśākhah samudyatah, vidhamişyati te dehād bhūtātmānam ciroşitam/śrutvā hanūmato vākyam rāvano bhīmavikramah, samraktanavanah krodhād idam vacanam abravīt/ Nishachara! You seem to be fearless in attacking deva-danava-gandharva-yaksha-rakshasaas but not Vaanara Veeras. Do note this that my right hand with the grip of my five fingers are duly raised and that your life would not be secure any further.' As Ravana was furious at Hanuman's threat likewise, he stood up and shouted: Vanara! We are most welcome to use all your might and try your very best give me a blow and instantly you should fall dead surely.' rāvanasya vacah śrutvā vāvusūnur vaco 'bravīt, prahṛtam hi mayā pūrvam aksam smara sutam tava/ evam ukto mahātejā rāvaņo rākṣaseśvarah, ājaghānānilasutam talenorasi vīryavān/sa talābhihatas tena cacāla ca muhur muhuh, ājaghānābhisamkruddhas talenaivāmaradvisam/Hanuman replied: 'Just now, I have despatched your dear son Akshaya to yamapuri, and do remember that.' Rayana got furious and gave a sevre blow on Hanuman's mighty and broad chest. The outcome was that Hanuman was almost fainted but having quickly recovered, gave a return blow severely true. tatas talenābhihato vānarena mahātmanā, daśagrīvah samādhūto yathā bhūmicale 'calah/ samgrāme tam tathā drstva rāvanam talatāditam, rsayo vānarāh siddhā nedur devāh sahāsurāh/ athāśvasya mahātejā rāvano vākyam abravīt, sādhu vānaravīryena ślāghanīyo 'si me ripuh/rāvanenaivam uktas tu mārutir vākyam abravīt, dhig astu mama vīryam tu yat tvam jīvasi rāvaņa/ Dashamukha Ravana was then that was truly aghast shaken up like an earthquake would wobble a mountain. As Ravana fell down instantly with thud likewise, Rishi, vaanara, Siddha, Devatas as also the Asura Lokas too appeared to have been pleased and clapped with 'harsha dhwanis' There after Rayana recovered and replied to Hanuman saying: 'well done Hanuman, you have proved that you are a competent 'prati dwandi'!' Then Hanuman replied: 'Durbuddhi Nishachara Ravana! Now I should not be spared with life any more and this is my vow!'. As Rayana did not wish to suffer the over excited insinuations and threats of Hanumam, the ferocious Ravana emboldened himself and thumped a mighty punch with his right hand on the broad chest of Hanuman who crumbled down as Hanuman was shocked too dismayed. Soon thereafter he raised his grand bow at Maha Vaanara Senapati Neela nearby who was watching the scene and made instant 'baana parampara' which pierced through Neea's 'marmaavayas'. Meanwhile Veera Hanuman was recivered somewhat by Ravanas right hand punch and stated: 'Neecha Nishachara! You were already engaged with your baana parampara on Senapati Neela and thus felt it was inappropriate to interfere. Even as Hanuman was citing 'nyaayaanyaayas' of 'dharma yuddha', Neela jumped uo to a mountain top with blood red rage and rained maha vrikshas like 'ashvakarna-saala-amla'-and such mahavrikshas just uprooted and kept on hurling with unusual speed and force. Ravana then having destroyed the hurled down maha vrikshas smashed down made renewed baana varsha on Neela as the latter retaliated with continued attack of

vriksha varsha which made an impact in 'Ravana dhwaja shikhira' as Agni Putra Neela made simha garjanas, abhivrstah śaraughena megheneva mahācalah, hrasvam krtvā tadā rūpam dhvajāgre nipapāta ha/ pāvakātmajam ālokya dhvajāgre samavasthitam, jajvāla rāvaņah krodhāt tato nīlo nanāda ha/ dhvajāgre dhanuşas cāgre kirītāgre ca tam harim, laksmaņo 'tha hanūmāms ca drstvā rāmas ca vismitāh' rāvano 'pi mahātejāh kapilāghavavismitah, astram āhāravām āsa dīptam āgnevam adbhutam/ The infuriated persisted with his maha baana varsha as on pravata shikhiras, then instantly having assumed a miniatured form settled on Ravana dhwaja itself. Ravana with 'maha krodha' noticed the heckling vaanara Neela, and sought to release his agneyastra which should convert Neela to 'bhasma'. tatas te cukruśur hṛṣṭā labdhalakṣyāḥ plavamgamāḥ, nīlalāghavasambhrāntam dṛṣṭvā rāvaṇam āhave/vānarānām ca nādena samrabdho rāvanas tadā, sambhramāvistahṛdayo na kim cit pratyapadyata/ āgneyenātha samyuktam grhītvā rāvanah śaram, dhvajaśīrsasthitam nīlam udaiksata niśācarah/tato 'bravīn mahātejā rāvano rāksaseśvarah, kape lāghavayukto 'si māyayā parayānayā/ As Neela was changing his mini forms Jumping and changing his positions on Ravana's shoulders, or on his dhnush, or his makuta, even Rama Lakshmana Hanuman's too were surprised at Naala's agility which was a characteristic of 'vaanara chanchalatva'! But Rayana was certainly not amused and hence the agneyastra prayoga. jīvitam khalu rakṣasva yadi śaknoṣi vānara, tāni tāny ātmarūpāṇi srjase tvam anekaśaḥ/ tathāpi tvām mayā muktaḥ sāyako 'straprayojitaḥ, jīvitam parirakṣantam jīvitād bhramsayiṣyati/evam uktvā mahābāhū rāyano rāksaseśvarah, samdhāva bānam astrena camūpatim atādayat/ Rayana then addressed Neela and shouted: Vaanara! Having assumed varied body forms too soon and too many times by high degrees of 'maya pradarshana', now if you truly assume that you are a great 'maayavi', now with this baana prayoga, get readied to get a body of ash! Then with the release of the agneyastra, Neela was indeed got burnt down to ashes. so 'strayuktena bāṇena nīlo vakṣasi tāḍitaḥ, nirdahyamānaḥ sahasā nipapāta mahītale/ pitrmāhātmya samyogād ātmanas cāpi tejasā, jānubhyām apatad bhūmau na ca prānair vyayujyata/ Ravana's agneyastra had no doubt burnt Neela's body down to ashes thus. Yet, even as Raavana carried himself Neela Kumara's dead body ashes to nearby waiting Lakshmana with dhanush thankaaras with excitement and happiness. Meanwhile, even as Ravana was hilarious thus, Agni Deva revived his own son's life and Neela Kumara opened his ashedupbody came alive. Even being unaware of Agni Putra Neelas's revival back to life, the boisterous excitement of Ravana made him to display against Lakshmana as the latter asserted thus: 'Nishachara Raja! you may better be aware that I have now arrived here facing you.' Avana replied: 'Raghuvamshi Rajakumara! Indeer this is my fortune that I am encountering you face to face. Now soon enough you are losing hopes of your life and yamaloka yatra. Lakshmana was not concerned of Ravana's poisoned laced tongue any way and said: Jaanaami veeryam tava Rakshasendra, balam prataapam cha paraakramamcha, avasthitoham sharachaapapaaniraagaccha kim mogha vivastyhanena/ Lakshmana taunted Ravana thus: 'Yes yes indeed! I am fully seized of your bala parakranas, veerya prataapaas Ravana! (since you have by maayaa prakatana, you are ill famed for 'nissahaaya Sitaapaharana' anyway). That is why I am here by person to person. Of which avail our 'vyartha pralaapas' now. Then the enraged Ravana forwarded seven mantrika baaas in a row as Lakshmana pieced them all. Ravan a released another arrow but Lakshmana was never disturbed but repaid with baana varsha of ardhachandra-khura-uttamna karna- bhall jaati but Rayana cut them all. Lakshmana like Deva Raja Indra's vijrayutha samana baana meant for Ravana Vadha in mind, but Ravana retorted with 'brahmaastra samana kaalaagni maha baana' on Lakshmana's very face. The impact was too severe to bear and the alarmed Lakshsana had to sit down with the stroke yet having recovered hit a massive single arrow which broke Ravana's dhanush to two pieces. On realising this, the stunned Ravana took considerable time to gain back his normalcy while his body too was with blood. Even in that condition, Ravana had to release that very Astra which Brahma Himself had bestoyed with, as a result Rayana's maha yagina. sa tām yidhūmānalasamnikāśām; vitrāsanīm vānaravāhinīnām, ciksepa śaktim tarasā ivalantīm; saumitrave rāksasarāstranāthah/tām āpatantīm bharatānujo 'strair; jaghāna bāṇaiś ca hutāgnikalpaih, tathāpi sā tasva viveša šaktir; bhujāntaram dāšarather višālam/ šaktyā brāmyā tu saumitris tāditas tu stanāntare, visnor acintyam svam bhāgam ātmānam pratyanusmarat/ That 'maha shakti' with which the entire Vanaraas were shaken with awe and tremble was thrown off at Lakshmana piercing through right into his heart. Consequenty Lakshmana fell down to earth as Rayana tried to lift

him up; indeed Ravana did possess such 'baahu bala' as wah famed as of lift up himalayas, mandaraa chala, meru giri and even trilokas but the punch of the Brahama's own granted 'maha baana'! As the Brahma Shakti pierced through, it seemed that even Maha Vishnu's own 'amsha' failed. At the same time, Ravana too was disbled not only to lift up Lakshmana but in the process his own hand fingers got crushed too trying to lift Lakshmana creating anxiety among the rakshasa sena too. Tatah kiruddhho Vaayusoto raavam samamabhidravat, aajaghaanorasi kjruddhho vajrakalpena mushtinaa/Tena mushtiprahaarena raavanorakshasseshwarah jaanbubhyaamagamad bhumou chachaala cha pataatcha/That was the critical situation when Vaayu putra Veera Hanuman ran towards Rayana gave a mighty kick with his 'vajrakalpana mushti'or vajra like fist with all his might to Ravana who fell down crumbled to dust. Then Ravana's face, eyes and ears was full of 'rakta dhaaraas' and on the yuddha bhumi dazed and mind reeling as he was some how lifted up seated on his chariot, even as devataasura vaanaraas felt berserk with 'harsha ninaadaas'. Then Hanuman lifted up Lakshmana with his mighty arms and reached him to Shri Rama. After a while, however as though Bhagavan Vishnu Himself blessed Lakshmana, the latter gradually recovered consciousness. But Ravana too having the 'mushighaata' of Hanuman as seated by his chariot stood up erect with his 'vishaala dhanush' on his powerful hands alerting Shri Rama.

nipātitamahāvīrām vānarāṇām mahācamūm, rāghavas tu raņe dṛṣṭvā rāvaṇam samabhidravat/ athainam upasamgamya hanūmān vākyam abravīt, mama prstham samāruhya raksasam śāstum arhasi/ Then, Hanuman requested Shri Rama as follow: 'Rama prabho!just like Maha Vishnu alights on Garuda Deva and was reputed to resort to Daitya Samhaara, similarly please consider your devastating Rakshasas too.tac chrutvā rāghavo vākvam vāvuputrena bhāsitam, ārohat sahasā śūro hanūmantam mahākapim, rathastham rāvaṇam samkhye dadarśa manujādhipah/ tam ālokya mahātejāh pradudrāva sa rāghavaḥ, vairocanam iva kruddho visnur abhyudyatāyudhah/ jyāśabdam akarot tīvram vajranispesanisvanam, girā gambhīrayā rāmo rāksasendram uvāca ha/ Rama with a smile then alighted on Hanuman's back. Then Rama noticed Ravana settled in his chariot and asked Hanuman to rush towards the Rakshasa and said: tistha tistha mama tvam hi krtvā vipriyam īdrśam, kva nu rāksasaśārdūla gato moksam avāpsyasi/ yadīndravaivasvata bhāskarān vā; svayambhuvaiśvānaraśamkarān vā, gamişyasi tvam daśa vā diśo vā; tathāpi me nādva gato vimoksvase/ vaš caisa šaktvābhihatas tvavādva; icchan visādam sahasābhyupetah sa esa raksoganarāja mrtyuh; saputradārasva tavādva yuddhe/Wait wait Ravana, you wish to be Rakshasa Vyaghra! Having done the grave injustice to me, you cannot escape from me so easily. Whether you run to Indra, or Yama, or Brahma, or Agni, or even Shankara or to dasha dishaas even, your 'samhara' is definite and predestined. Rakshasa Raja! you had hurt Lakshmana with Brahma Shakti without senses and now seek to run away with that false ego. Let me take my opportunity now to take my revenge too. Be ready that death is round the corner for your demolition along with your 'bandhu putra parivaara' too.rāghavasya vacaḥ śrutvā rākṣasendro mahākapim, ājaghāna śarais tīkṣṇaiḥ kālānalaśikhopamaih/ rākṣasenāhave tasya tāditasyāpi sāyakaih, svabhāvatejoyuktasya bhūyas tejo vyavardhata/ tato rāmo mahātejā rāvaņena krtavraņam, drstvā plavagasardūlam krodhasya vasam evivān/ tasvābhisamkramva ratham sacakram; sāśvadhvajacchatramahāpatākam,sasārathim sāśaniśūlakhadgam; rāmah praciccheda śaraih supunkhaih/ As Rama stated thus, Mahabali Rakshasa Raja got furious yet recalling Rama's adventures at jansthaana where he smashed off maha rakshasa veeras being an adept in 'astrashastras', he thought of aiming his arrows on Hanuman and hurt him grievously. While Hanuman was nodoubt hurt but became more ferocious like a hurt 'mriga raaja', Rama too was far more alarmed. He attacked Ravana ratha chakraas, horses, dhwaja, cchatra, pataaka, saarathi, ashni, shula, khadga, and finally the chariot too. athendraśatrum tarasā jaghāna; bānena vajrāśanisamnibhena, bhujāntare vyūdhasujātarūpe; vajrena merum bhagavān ivendrah/ yo vajrapātāśanisamnipātān; na cukşubhe nāpi cacāla rājā, sa rāmabāṇābhihato bhṛśārtaś; cacāla cāpam ca mumoca vīraḥ/ tam vihvalantam prasamīkṣya rāmaḥ; samādade dīptam athārdhacandram, tenārkavarnam sahasā kirītam; ciccheda rakso'dhipater mahātmāh/Like Indra with his vajraaudha pierced through Meru parvata too, Pabhu Rama penetrated Ravana's broad chest even through his kavacha. Even while Ravana was not concerned of 'vajraaghata', he got flustered by Rama baanaass and raised his 'arthanaadaas' with a shivering body and fell down to dust. Then as Shri Rama selected and

picked up yet another fire like ardhachandraakaara baana and did the 'prayoga', Dashamukha Kireetaas too were shattered, as Ravana wasa hissing like a 'visha heena sarpa'! tam nirvisāśīvisasamnikāśam; śāntārcişam sūryam ivāprakāśam, gataśriyam krttakirīṭakūṭam; uvāca rāmo yudhi rākṣasendram/ kṛtam tvayā karma mahat subhīmam; hatapravīras ca kṛtas tvayāham, tasmāt parisrānta iti vyavasya; na tvam śarair mrtyuvaśam nayāmi/ Just at that time, Suryaasta kaala appeared in the horizon and Rayana without kireeta was hazily visible. Then Rama addressed Ravana: 'You have so far after arrival at the battle field, you have been harraasing my 'maha vanara pramukhas' nearly throwing them at the thresholds of death and that was not the main cause of your shameful disgrace. Now run back to Lankapuri with your well deserved shame and get ready once again after a restful night and on my recieving you here again, I should spare you from your ceratain 'yamaloka yatra'. sa evam ukto hatadarpaharso; nikrttacāpah sa hatāśvasūtah, śarārditah kṛttamahākirīto; viveśa lankām sahasā sma rājā/tasmin prabhagne tridaśendraśatrau; surāsurā bhūtaganā diśaś ca, sasāgarāh sarsimahoragāś ca; tathaiva bhūmyambucarāś ca hṛṣṭāh/ As soon as Rama said likewise, Ravana had quietly entered Lankapuri with fallen grace, smitten with anger and anguish besides his abhimaana with fallen dhwaja, cut up with dhanush baanas, kayachaayudhas, rathaashyas and sarathis and 'baana peeda'. Deva Raja shatru Rayana had thus ran back, while Deva-Asura-Bhuta, Dashaadhipatis, Samudra, Rishigana, Maha Naaga, Bhuchara, Jalachara Praanis were all pleased with the disgraceful exit of Maha Rakshasa Sarvabhouma Ravanaasura!

Sarga Sixty

Having left battle with disgrace as defeated by Shri Rama, King Ravana instructed that Kumbhakarna be awaken from long slumber; once awaken with food and drink reached Ravana as Vaanras were scared

Sa praviśya purīm lankām rāmabānabhayārditah,bhagnadarpas tadā rājā babhūva vyathitendriyah/ Maatanga iva simhena garudeneva pannagah, abhibhūto 'bhavad rājā rāghavena mahātmanā/ brahmadandandaprakāśānām vidyutsadrśavarcasām, smaran rāghavabānānām vivyathe rākṣaseśvaraḥ/sa kāñcanamayam diyyam āśritya paramāsanam, vikpreksamāno raksāmsi rāyano vākyam abravīt/ sarvam tat khalu me mogham yat taptam paramam tapah, yat samāno mahendrena mānusenāsmi nirjitah/idam tad brahmaņo ghoram vākyam mām abhyupasthitam, mānuṣebhyo vijānīhi bhayam tvam iti tat tathā/ devadānavagandharvair yaksarāksasapannagaih, avadhyatvam mayā prāptam mānusebhyo na yācitam/ etad evābhyupāgamya yatnam kartum ihārhatha, rāksasāś cāpi tisthantu caryāgopuramūrdhasu/ sa cāpratimagambhīro devadānavadarpahā,brahmaśāpābhibhūtas tu kumbhakarno vibodhyatām/ sa parājitam ātmānam prahastam ca nisūditam, jñātvā raksobalam bhīmam ādidesa mahābalah/ dvāresu yatnaḥ kriyatām prākārāś cādhiruhyatām, nidrāvaśasamāviṣṭaḥ kumbhakarṇo vibodhyatām/ nava ṣaṭ sapta cāṣṭau ca māsān svapiti rākṣasaḥ, tam tu bodhayata kṣipram kumbhakarṇam mahābalam/ sa hi samkhye mahābāhuḥ kakudam sarvarakṣasām,vānarān rājaputrau ca kṣipram eva vadhiṣyati/ kumbhakarnah sadā śete mūdho grāmvasukhe ratah, rāmenābhinirastasva samgrāmo 'smin sudārune/ bhavisyati na me śokah kumbhakarne vibodhite, kim karisyāmy aham tena śakratulyabalena hi/īdrśe vyasane prāpte yo na sāhyāya kalpate, te tu tadvacanam śrutvā rākṣasendrasya rākṣasāḥ/ jagmuḥ paramasambhrāntāh kumbhakarnaniveśanam,te rāvanasamādistā māmsaśonitabhojanāh/ gandhamālyāms tathā bhaksyān ādāya sahasā yayuh, tām pravišya mahādvārām sarvato yojanāyatām/ kumbhakarnaguhām ramyām sarvagandhapravāhinīm, pratisthamānāh krcchrena yatnāt praviviśur guhām/ tām praviśya guhām ramyām śubhām kāñcanakuṭṭimām, dadṛśur nairṛṭavyāghram śayānam bhīmadarśanam/ te tu tam vikṛtam suptam vikīrṇam iva parvatam, kumbhakarṇam mahānidram sahitāḥ pratyabodhayan/ūrdhvaromāñcitatanum śvasantam iva pannagam, trāsayantam mahāśvāsaiḥ śayānam bhīmadarśanam/ bhīmanāsāpuṭam tam tu pātālavipulānanam, dadṛśur nairṛtavyāghram kumbhakarṇam mahābalam/ tataś cakrur mahātmānah kumbhakarnāgratas tadā, māmsānām merusamkāśam rāśim paramatarpanam/ mrgānām mahisānām ca varāhānām ca samcayān, cakrur nairṛtaśārdūlā rāśimann asya cādbhutam/ tatah śoṇitakumbhāmś ca madyāni vividhāni ca, purastāt kumbhakarnasya cakrus tridaśaśatravah/ lilipuś ca parārdhyena candanena paramtapam, diyyair ācchādayām āsur mālyair

gandhaih sugandhibhih/ dhūpam sugandham sasrjus tustuvuś ca paramtapam, jaladā iva conedur yātudhānāh sahasrasah/ sankhān āpūrayām āsuh sasānkasadrsaprabhān, tumulam yugapac cāpi vinedus cāpy amarşitāh/ nedur āsphotayām āsuś cikṣipus te niśācarāḥ, kumbhakarnavibodhārtham cakrus te vipulam svanam/ saśankhabherīpaṭahapraṇādam; āsphoṭitakṣveḍitasimhanādam, diśo dravantas tridivam kirantah; śrutvā vihamgāh sahasā nipetuh/ vadā bhrśam tair ninadair mahātmā; na kumbhakarno bubudhe prasutah, tato musundīmusalāni sarve; raksoganās te jagrhur gadāś ca/ tam śailaśrngair musalair gadābhir; vṛkṣais talair mudgaramuṣṭibhiś ca, sukhaprasuptam bhuvi kumbhakarṇam; raksāmsv udagrāni tadā nijaghnuh/ tasva niśvāsavātena kumbhakarnasva raksasah, rāksasā balavanto 'pi sthātum nāśaknuvan puraḥ/ tato 'sya purato gāḍham rākṣasā bhīmavikramāḥ, mṛdangapaṇavān bherīḥ śankhakumbhagaṇāms tathā, daśarākṣasasāhasram yugapat paryavādayan/ nīlāñjanacayākāram te tu tam pratyabodhayan, abhighnanto nadantas ca naiva samvivide tu sah/ yadā cainam na sekus te pratibodhayitum tadā, tato gurutaram yatnam dārunam samupākraman/ aśvān ustrān kharān nāgāñ jaghnur dandakaśāṅkuśaiḥ, bherīśaṅkhamṛdaṅgāṁś ca sarvaprāṇair avādayan/ nijaghnuś cāsya gātrāṇi mahākāsthakaṭam karaih, mudgarair musalaiś caiva sarvaprāṇasamudyataih/ tena śabdena mahatā lankā samabhipūritā, saparvatavanā sarvā so 'pi naiva prabudhyate/ tatah sahasram bherīnām yugapat samahanyata, mṛṣṭakāñcanakoṇānām asaktānām samantataḥ/ evam apy atinidras tu yadā naiva prabudhyata. śāpasya vaśam āpannas tataḥ kruddhā niśācarāḥ/ mahākrodhasamāviṣṭāḥ sarve bhīmaparākramāh, tad raksobodhavisyantaś cakrur anye parākramam/ anye bherīh samājaghnur anye cakrur mahāsvanam,keśān anye pralulupuh karnāv anye daśanti ca,na kumbhakarnah paspande mahānidrāvaśam gatah/ anye ca balinas tasya kūṭamudgarapānayah, mūrdhni vakṣasi gātresu pātayan kūṭamudgarān/ rajjubandhanabaddhābhiḥ śataghnībhiś ca sarvataḥ, vadhyamāno mahākāyo na prābudhyata rākṣasaḥ/vāraṇānām sahasram tu śarīre 'sya pradhāvitam kumbhakarṇas tato buddhah sparśam param abudhyata/ sa pātyamānair giriśṛṅgavṛkṣair; acintayams tān vipulān prahārān, nidrāksayāt ksudbhayapīditas ca; vijrmbhamānah sahasotpapāta, sa nāgabhogācalasrngakalpau; viksipya bāhū giriśṛṅgasārau/ vivṛtya vakṭram vadavāmukhābham; niśācaro 'sau vikṛtam jajṛmbhe' tasya jājŗmbhamāṇasya vaktram pātālasamnibham, dadŗśe meruśŗngāgre divākara ivoditaḥ/ vijŗmbhamāṇo 'tibalaḥ pratibuddho niśācaraḥ, niśvāsaś cāsya samjajñe parvatād iva mārutaḥ/ rūpam uttiṣṭhatas tasya kumbhakarnasya tad babhau, tapānte sabalākasya meghasyeva vivarsatah/ tasya dīptāgnisadrśe vidyutsadrśavarcasī, dadrśāte mahānetre dīptāv iva mahāgrahau/ ādad bubhukṣito māmsam śoṇitam tṛṣito 'pibat, medaḥ kumbham ca madyam ca papau śakraripus tadā/ tatas tṛpta iti jñātvā samutpetur niśācarāh, śirobhiś ca pranamyainam sarvatah paryavārayan/ sa sarvān sāntvayām āsa nairrtān nairrtarsabhah, bodhanād vismitaś cāpi rāksasān idam abravīt/ kimartham aham āhatya bhavadbhih pratibodhitah, kaccit sukuśalam rājño bhayam vā neha kim cana/ atha vā dhruvam anyebhyo bhayam param upasthitam, yadartham eva tvaritair bhavadbhih pratibodhitah/ adya rāksasarājasya bhayam utpāṭayāmy aham, pātayisye mahendram vā śātayisye tathānalam/ na hy alpakāraņe suptam bodhayisyati mām bhṛśam, tad ākhyātārthatattvena matprabodhanakāraṇam/ evam bruvāṇam samrabdham kumbhakarnam arimdamam, yūpākṣaḥ sacivo rājñaḥ kṛtāñjalir uvāca ha/ na no devakṛtam kim cid bhayam asti kadā cana, na daityadānayebhyo vā bhayam asti hi tādršam, vādršam mānusam rājan bhayam asmān upasthitam/ vānaraiḥ parvatākārair lankeyam parivāritā, sītāharanasamtaptād rāmān nas tumulam bhayam/ ekena vānareņeyam pūrvam dagdhā mahāpurī, kumāro nihatas cākṣaḥ sānuyātraḥ sakuñjarah/ svayam rakso'dhipaś cāpi paulastyo devakantakah,mrteti samyuge muktārāmenādityatejasā/ yan na devaiḥ krto rājā nāpi daityair na dānavaiḥ, krtaḥ sa iha rāmeṇa vimuktaḥ prāṇasaṁśayāt/ sa yūpāksavacah śrutvā bhrātur yudhi parājayam, kumbhakarno vivṛttākso yūpāksam idam abravīt/ sarvam adyaiva yūpākṣa harisainyam salakṣmaṇam, rāghavam ca raṇe hatvā paścād drakṣyāmi rāvaṇam/ rākṣasāms tarpayiṣyāmi harīnām māmsaśonitaih, rāmalakṣmaṇayoś cāpi svayam pāsyāmi śonitam/ tat tasya vākyam bruvato niśamya; sagarvitam rosavivrddhadosam, mahodaro nairṛtayodhamukhyaḥ; kṛtāñjalir vākyam idam babhāṣe/ rāvaṇasya vacaḥ śrutvā guṇadoṣu vimṛśya ca, paścād api mahābāho śatrūn yudhi vijesyasi/ mahodaravacah śrutvā rāksasaih parivāritah, kumbhakarno mahātejāh sampratasthe mahābalah/ tam samutthāpya bhīmāksam bhīmarūpaparākramam, rāksasās tvaritā jagmur daśagrīvaniveśanam/ tato gatvā daśagrīvam āsīnam paramāsane, ūcur baddhāñjalipuṭāḥ sarva eva niśācarāh/ prabuddhaḥ kumbhakarṇo 'sau bhrātā te rākṣasarṣabha, kathaṁ tatraiva niryātu

drakşyase tam ihāgatam/ rāvaṇas tv abravīd dhṛṣṭo yathānyāyam ca pūjitam, draṣṭum enam ihecchāmi yathānyāyam ca pūjitam/ tathety uktvā tu te sarve punar āgamya rākṣasāḥ, kumbhakarṇam idam vākyam ūcū rāvaṇacoditāḥ/ draṣṭum tvām kānkṣate rājā sarvarākṣasapumgavaḥ, gamane kriyatām buddhir bhrātaram sampraharṣaya/ kumbhakarṇas tu durdharṣo bhrātur ājñāya śāsanam, tathety uktvā mahāvīryaḥ śayanād utpapāta ha/ prakṣālya vadanam hṛṣṭaḥ snātaḥ paramabhūṣitaḥ, pipāsus tvarayām āsa pānam balasamīraṇam/ tatas te tvaritās tasya rājṣasā rāvaṇājñayā, madyam bhakṣyāmś ca vividhān kṣipram evopahārayan/ pītvā ghaṭasahasram sa gamanāyopacakrame/ īṣatsamutkaṭo mattas tejobalasamanvitaḥ, kumbhakarṇo babhau hṛṣṭaḥ kālāntakayamopamaḥ/ bhrātuḥ sa bhavanam gacchan rakṣobalasamanvitaḥ, kumbhakarṇaḥ padanyāsair akampayata medinīm/ sa rājamārgam vapuṣā prakāśayan; sahasraraśmir dharaṇīm ivāmśubhiḥ, jagāma tatrāñjalimālayā vṛtaḥ; śatakratur geham iva svayambhuvaḥ/ ke cic charaṇyam śaraṇam sma rāmam; vrajanti ke cid vyathitāḥ patanti, ke cid diśaḥ sma vyathitāḥ prayānti; ke cid bhayārtā bhuvi śerate sma/ tam adriṣṛṅgapratimam kirīṭinam; spṛśantam ādityam ivātmatejasā, vanaukasaḥ prekṣya vivṛddham adbhutam; bhayārditā dudruvire tatas tatah/

As Rayana fled way following his miserable defeat by Shri Rama like a lion pouncing on an elephant or Garuda on a poisonous and hissing snake, he addressed the Royal Court and confessed as follows: sarvam tat khalu me mogham yat taptam paramam tapah, yat samāno mahendrena mānusenāsmi nirjitah/idam tad brahmano ghoram vākvam mām abhyupasthitam, mānuṣebhyo vijānīhi bhayam tvam iti tat tathā/ devadānavagandharvair yaksarāksasapannagaih, avadhyatvam mayā prāptam mānusebhyo na yācitam/ I had in the past I performed considerable tapasya yet that appears to have gone futile since I had consciously ingored the value of human beings. Brahma no doubt warned me that only 'manushyas' might create problems for me, and now I am perhaps eaping the consequences. Then I had requested for invincibility from Deva, Daanava, Gandharva, Yaksha, Rakshasa and Sarpas but ignored manushyas.I recall a remote incident of my life as once I attacked Ikshvaaku vamsha Raja named Anranya and killed him, and while he was about to be killed he gave me a 'shaap' that not so far in the future there would be my very vamsha a personality there would be hero who should destroy me, progeny, mantri senapatis, sena, horses, and followeres. I also recall now that once a maha tapasvini named as Vedapati cursed me as I tried to molest her and while jumping into flames she had now perhaps appeared as Devi Sita. Like wise when I had lifted up Kailasa parvata since Sthaanu swarupa Paramashiva was not responsive to my 'ghora tapasya' for him', I had received a spate of curses from Uma, Nandeshwara, Rambha and Vaaruna Kanyaas and indeed Rishi Vaakyas would not be futile. (Indeed, the retribution for lifing kailaasa, Nandeshwara cursed Ravana vamsha vinaasa). etad evābhyupāgamya yatnam kartum ihārhatha, rāksasāś cāpi tisthantu caryāgopuramūrdhasu/ sa cāpratimagambhīro devadānavadarpahā, brahmaśāpābhibhūtas tu kumbhakarno vibodhyatām/ sa parājitam ātmānam prahastam ca nisūditam, jñātvā raksobalam bhīmam ādideśa mahābalah/ dvāreṣu yatnah kriyatām prākārāś cādhiruhyatām, nidrāvaśasamāviṣṭah kumbhakarno vibodhyatām/ These 'shaapaas' have now initiated our bad days ahead, you may all thus face to consequences with forbearance and hence stay put to safeguard the hish roads, gopura shakhiras of Lankapuri. At the same time, you ought to be brave, vigilant, and ever ready to face critical situations as might be faced. nava sat sapta cāstau ca māsān svapiti rāksasah, tam tu bodhayata ksipram kumbhakarnam mahābalam/ sa hi samkhye mahābāhuḥ kakudam sarvarakṣasām, vānarān rājaputrau ca ksipram eva vadhisyati/ kumbhakarnah sadā sete mūdho grāmyasukhe ratah, rāmenābhinirastasya samgrāmo 'smin sudārune/ bhavisyati na me śokah kumbhakarne vibodhite, kim karisyāmy aham tena śakratulyabalena hi/ Now, I am having to instruct you all to wake up my dear brother Kumbhakarna as in the condition of being fast asleep happily for seven or sometines ten or atleast eight months. Maha aahu Kumbhakana is indeed the 'Rakshasa Shreshtha'. His sarvottham vijaya ought to turn the tables and usher in our days of glory back. But unfotunately this stupid of a Kumbhakarna is most difficult to be awaken. And of which avail is he at moments of anxiety and even a crisis. Then a big retinue of Maha Rakshasas reached Kumbhakarna's residence. The rakta maamsa bhakshaka rakshasaas gor readied with considerable gandha-maalyas and aneka bhakshya bhojya paaneeyas and reached the 'maha guha' where Kumbhakarna was snoring with 'deergha nidra' in a state of slumber with long drawn breathings. His nasal partitions were looking fearful as his broad shoulders were like maha vrikshas. For his 'aahaara'

were groups live mriga-mahisha-varaahas, and huge sea fishes readied, besides huge tubs and containers of fresh blood for rapid gulps down to wet his throat. Then groups of Rakshasas applied 'sugandha lepanas' all over his massive physique and dhupas too and initiated 'vaadya brinda dhvanis' reverberating sky high. Shankha-bheri ninaadas, simha naada, taala ghoshanas, hit the sky and fell down to earth, but Maha Kaya Kumbhakarna was still unwaken. Then the Maha Rakshasha Veeras then resorted to piercing his body parts on his vakshasthala with mountain boulders, 'musala-gaha-mudgara-mushti praharas'. As Kambhakarna's breathing of 'ucchvaasha-nishvaasaas' were like 'mahavaayu pravaahaas'and as such the Maha Rakshasaas seeking to wake him up were tending to sweep off then earest and the farthest. vāranānām sahasram tu sarīre 'sya pradhāvitam kumbhakarnas tato buddhah sparsam param abudhyata/ sa pātyamānair giriśrngavrksair; acintayams tān vipulān prahārān, nidrāksayāt ksudbhayapīditas ca; vijrmbhamānah sahasotpapāta, sa nāgabhogācalasrngakalpau; viksipya bāhū giriśṛṅgasārau/ As the various efforts had failed in awakening Kumbhakarna then thousands of elephants were made to run 'aapaada mastakaas' or from feet to heads, then only the sleeping 'maha rakshasa parvata' of Kumbhakarna got somewhat 'semi-conscious' and opened his eye flaps. Group prahaaraas of mountains boulders and prayahas of maha vrikshaas on his hands, shoulderes, stomach, feet and so on failed to wake him up but once awaken stood up. vivrtya vaktram vadavāmukhābham; niśācaro 'sau vikṛtam jajṛmbhe/ tasya jājṛmbhamāṇasya vaktram pātālasamnibham, dadṛśe meruśṛngāgre divākara ivoditah/vijrmbhamāno 'tibalah pratibuddho niśācarah niśvāsaś cāsya samjajñe parvatād iva mārutah/ rūpam uttisthatas tasya kumbhakarnasya tad babhau, tapānte sabalākasya meghasyeva vivarsatah/Then he stretched his long and strong arms and feet and his 'vikaraala mukha's' yawnings created thunderous sound reverberations was his face of 'vikaraala mukha badabaalanaagni'. tasva dīptāgnisadrśe vidyutsadṛśavarcasī, dadṛśāte mahānetre dīptāv iva mahāgrahau/ ādad bubhukṣito māmsam śoṇitam trsito 'pibat, medah kumbham ca madyam ca papau sakraripus tadā/ tatas trpta iti jñātvā samutpetur niśācarāh, śirobhiś ca pranamyainam sarvatah paryavārayan/ sa sarvān sāntvayām āsa nairṛtān nairrtarsabhah, bodhanād vismitas cāpi rāksasān idam abravīt/His 'vishala netra dwayas' were like 'prajvalitaagni' like of 'navagrahas'. As soon as he was awaken Maha Rakshasa felt hungry and thirsty and contented himself with 'maamsa-rakta raashis' all readied. As he was contented, the Rakashasa Shreashtas were waiting in obedience, as Kumbhakarna thundered: kimartham aham āhatva bhavadbhih pratibodhitah, kaccit sukuśalam rājño bhayam vā neha kim cana/ atha vā dhruyam anyebhyo bhayam param upasthitam, yadartham eva tvaritair bhavadbhih pratibodhitah/ adya rākṣasarājasya bhayam utpātayāmy aham, pātayisye mahendram vā śātayisye tathānalam/ na hy alpakārane suptam bodhayisyati mām bhrśam, tad ākhyātārthatattvena matprabodhanakāranam/Fellow Rakashasaas! I am pleased with your obedience and attention for me, but why had you to wake me up suddenly in this manner. Hope Rakashasa Maha Raja Ravana is hale and hearty and there surely nothing untoward is happening.! Why indeed then have you faced such an issue which prompted you to wake me up from me happy sleep. If only there were to be such a critical problem, tell me and I should be able to destroy any such unbearable development, then I should devastate the crisis warrranting my having to be forcibly interfere with. evam bruvānam samrabdham kumbhakarnam arimdamam, vūpāksah sacivo rājñah krtāñjalir uvāca ha/ na no devakrtam kim cid bhayam asti kadā cana, na daityadānavebhyo vā bhayam asti hi tādrsam, vādrsam mānuṣam rājan bhayam asmān upasthitam/ vānaraiḥ parvatākārair lankeyam parivāritā, sītāharaṇa samtaptād rāmān nas tumulam bhayam/ As Kumbhakarna stated thus, Ravana sachiva Yupaksha replied with veneration: 'Maharaja! Right now, we have to issue to counter on account of Devatas but only of manyshyas whom we rakshasaas do keep on tenter hooks normally as no danana daityas never did. Parvataakaar Vaanaraas have now surrounded Lanka Samrajya right now.It is on account of Devi Sitaaparana that Shri Rama is giving us threats. ekena vānareņeyam pūrvam dagdhā mahāpurī, kumāro nihataś cākṣaḥ sānuyātraḥ sakuñjaraḥ/ svayam rakṣo'dhipaś cāpi paulastyo devakaṇṭakaḥ,mṛteti samyuge muktārāmeṇādityatejasā/ yan na devaiḥ krto rājā nāpi daityair na dānavaiḥ, krtaḥ sa iha rāmena vimuktah prānasamsayāt/ Even earlier a maha vanara had surreptisciously entered Lankapuri and burnt off our city and killed Rajakumara Akshaya. This Shri Rama is like Surya himself and having defeated Maha Raja Ravana himself and shouted on our King to go get lost to Lankapuri in defence. Maha Raja now is thus facing a dilemma and tight predicament which daity adanayas to could not but

Rama is seeking to perform.' sa yūpāksavacah śrutvā bhrātur yudhi parājayam, kumbhakarno vivrttākso yūpāksam idam abravīt/ sarvam adyaiva yūpāksa harisainyam salaksmanam, rāghavam ca rane hatvā paścād drakṣyāmi rāvaṇam/ rākṣasāms tarpayiṣyāmi harīṇām māmsaśoṇitaih, rāmalakṣmaṇayoś cāpi svayam pāsyāmi śonitam/ As Yupaaksha reported likewise, Kumbhakarna looked enraged with infuriated looks and replied: Yupaksha! I have now determined and swear that first I should demolish the vanara sena and Rama Lakshmanas foremost and then only seek King Ravana darshan. Right away, I am anxious to rejoice vanara 'mamsa bhakshana' and 'rakta paana', besides that of Rama Lakskmanas too'. Then Yupakasha with folded hands submitted to Kumbhakarna: Maha Baaho! My request is to kindly see King Ravana before you proceed for the attack.' Then having agreed Kumbhakarna walked into Raja Mahal as Ravana was awaiting him. bhrātuh sa bhavanam gacchan raksobalasamanvitah, kumbhakarnah padanyāsair akampayata medinīm/ sa rājamārgam vapusā prakāsayan; sahasrarasmir dharanīm ivāmśubhih, jagāma tatrāñjalimālayā yrtah; śatakratur geham iva svayambhuvah/ ke cic charanyam śaraṇam sma rāmam; vrajanti ke cid vyathitāḥ patanti, ke cid diśah sma vyathitāḥ prayānti; ke cid bhayārtā bhuvi śerate sma/ tam adrisrngapratimam kirīţinam; spṛśantam ādityam ivātmatejasā, vanaukasah preksya vivrddham adbhutam; bhayārditā dudruvire tatas tatah/ As Kumbhakarna walked across to Ravana Bhavana, he was like pralayakaala yama Raja Himself as his steps were such as earth was on tremors. Further that situation was like Indra was approaching Brahma Deva. He was looking like a mobile mountain was his head was like a 'parvata shikhara'. Then the Vanara sena ran to 'sharanaagata vatsala' Shri Rama out of alarmed fright with 'dikbhraanti'. Kumbhakarna was just like a true mountain with a glittering makuta as of reaching Surya Deva and the vaanaras were either running away hither and thither direcionless or just got stilled falling off!

Sargas Sixty One and Sixty Two

Vibhishana traces Kumbhakarma's origin, maha bala and spells of 'deerghanidra'- Ravanaasura literally begs of full scale attack on Rama Sugriva Vaanaras to save his prestige at the stake.

Tato rāmo mahātejā dhanur ādāya vīryavān, kirītinam mahākāyam kumbhakarnam dadarśa ha/ tam drstvā rāksasaśrestham parvatākāradarśanam, kramamānam ivākāśam purā nārāvanam prabhum/ satoyāmbudasamkāśam kāñcanāngadabhūṣaṇam, dṛṣṭvā punaḥ pradudrāva vānarāṇām mahācamūḥ/ vidrutām vāhinīm drstvā vardhamānam ca rāksasam, savismayam idam rāmo vibhīsanam uvāca ha/ko 'sau parvatasamkaśah kirītī harilocanah, laṅkāyām drśyate vīrah savidyud iva toyadah/ prthivyāh ketubhūto 'sau mahān eko 'tra drśyatę yam drstvā vānarāh sarve vidravanti tatas tatah/ ācaksva me mahān ko 'sau rakso vā yadi vāsurah, na mayaivamvidham bhūtam dṛstapūrvam kadā cana/ sa pṛsto rājaputreņa rāmeņāklistakāriņā, vibhīsaņo mahāprājñah kākutstham idam abravīt/ yena vaivasvato yuddhe vāsavaś ca parājitah, saisa viśravasah putrah kumbhakarnah pratāpavān/ etena devā yudhi dānavāś ca; yakṣā bhujamgāḥ piśitāśanāś ca, gandharvavidyādharakimnarāś ca; sahasraśo rāghava samprabhagnāh/ śūlapānim virūpāksam kumbhakarnam mahābalam, hantum na śekus tridaśāh kālo 'vam iti mohitāh/ prakrtvā hv esa tejasvī kumbhakarno mahābalah, anvesām rāksasendrānām varadānakrtam balam/ etena jātamātreņa kṣudhārtena mahātmanā,hakṣitāni sahasrāṇi sattvānām subahūny api/ teṣu sambhaksyamānesu prajā bhayanipīditāh, yānti sma śaranam śakram tam apy artham nyavedayan/ sa kumbhakarnam kupito mahendro; jaghāna vajrena śitena vajrī, sa śakravajrābhihato mahātmā; cacāla kopāc ca bhṛśam nanāda/ tasya nānadyamānasya kumbhakarnasya dhīmatah, śrutvā ninādam vitrastā bhūyo bhūmir vitatrase/ tataḥ kopān mahendrasya kumbhakarno mahābalaḥ, vikṛṣyairāvatād dantam jaghānorasi vāsavam/ kumbhakarṇaprahārārto vicacāla sa vāsavaḥ, tato viṣeduḥ sahasā devabrahmarşidānavāḥ/ prajābhih saha śakraś ca yayau sthānam svayambhuvaḥ,kumbhakarṇasya daurātmyam śaśamsus te prajāpateḥ, prajānām bhakṣaṇam cāpi devānām cāpi dharṣaṇam/ evam prajā yadi tv esa bhaksayisyati nityasah, acirenaiva kālena sūnyo loko bhavisyati/ vāsavasya vacah srutvā sarvalokapitāmahah, raksāmsy āvāhayām āsa kumbhakarnam dadarsa ha/kumbhakarnam samīksyaiva vitatrāsa prajāpatih, drstvā niśvasya caivedam svayambhūr idam abravīt/ dhruvam lokavināśāya paurastyenāsi nirmitah, tasmāt tyam adva prabhrti mrtakalpah śayisyasi, brahmaśāpābhibhūto 'tha

nipapātāgrataḥ prabhoḥ/ tataḥ paramasambhrānto rāvaṇo vākyam abravīt, vivrddhaḥ kāñcano vṛkṣaḥ phalakāle nikṛtyate/ na naptāram svakam nyāyyam śaptum evam prajāpate, na mithyāvacanaś ca tvam svapsyaty eṣa na samśayaḥ,kālas tu kriyatām asya śayane jāgare tathā/ rāvaṇasya vacaḥ śrutvā svayambhūr idam abravīt, śayitā hy eṣa ṣaṇ māsān ekāham jāgariṣyati/ ekenāhnā tv asau vīraś caran bhūmim bubhukṣitaḥ, vyāttāsyo bhakṣayel lokān samkruddha iva pāvakaḥ/ so 'sau vyasanam āpannaḥ kumbhakarṇam abodhayat, tvatparākramabhītaś ca rājā samprati rāvaṇaḥ/ sa eṣa nirgato vīraḥ śibirād bhīmavikramaḥ, vānarān bhṛśasamkruddho bhakṣayan paridhāvati/ kumbhakarṇam samīkṣyaiva harayo vipradudruvuḥ, katham enam raṇe kruddham vārayiṣyanti vānarāḥ/ ucyantām vānarāḥ sarve yantram etat samucchritam, iti vijñāya harayo bhaviṣyantīha nirbhayāḥ/ vibhīṣaṇavacaḥ śrutvā hetumat sumukhodgatam, uvāca rāghavo vākyam nīlam senāpatim tadā/ gaccha sainyāni sarvāṇi vyūhya tiṣṭhasva pāvake, dvārāṇy ādāya lankāyāś caryāś cāpy atha samkramān/ śailaśṛṅgāṇi vṛkṣāmś ca śilāś cāpy upasamharan, tiṣṭhantu vānarāḥ sarve sāyudhāḥ śailapāṇayaḥ/ rāghaveṇa samādiṣṭo nīlo haricamūpatiḥ, śaśāsa vānarānīkam yathāvat kapikuñjaraḥ/tato gavākṣaḥ śarabho hanumān aṅgado nalaḥ,śailaśṛṅgāṇi ailābhā gṛhītvā dvāram abhyayuḥ/tato harīṇām tad anīkam ugram; rarāja śailodyatavṛkṣahastam, gireḥ samīpānugatam yathaiva; mahan mahāmbhodharajālam ugram/

Shri Rama had instantly stood of readied with his 'dhanur baanaas' and sighted a mountain like Rakshasa approaching and asked Vibhishana about him as the vanara sena was truly alarmed and that he never heard of this walking Rakshasa Parvata earlier ever. Then Vishishana explained: Bhagavan Shri Rama! In any battle so far even Yama Dharma Raja and Mahendra too failed to harness this unique Maha Rakshasa. Indeed he always suppressed devata-daanava-yaksha-maha naaga-rakshasa-gandharva-vidyaadharakinnarsa as the attached thousands of times. Even his eyes are kike agni jwaalas if angered and when he piicks up his shula and stans firm on the battle he is of Kaala swarupa it should be difficult to even look at him let alone encounter him. His extraordinary might was owing to his 'varadaana prapti'. Even by his very birth he was in thde habit of devouring his fedlly rakshasaas too, ler alone other beings in Brahma Srishti. Then Vajra dhaari Indra hurled his vajraayudha and he roured repetitively howled again and again and the 'prajaavarga' were shattered with utter dismay and helplessness. Then the balaka Kumbhakarna broke off the Iraavata Dantas were pulled out as a child's play and hit Devendra's chest with a prahaara. Indra's heart was hurt with burning sensation as Devata, Brahmarshi, Danavas too were concerned. Indra and the Devatas reached Prajapati and said that unless the Baala Kumbhakarna continues prani bhakshana then the bhulolova vasies of various species would start dwindling day by day. dhruvam lokavināśāya paurastyenāsi nirmitaḥ, tasmāt tvam adya prabhrti mrtakalpaḥ śayiṣyasi, brahmaśāpābhibhūto 'tha nipapātāgratah prabhoh/ tatah paramasambhrānto rāvano vākyam abravīt, vivrddhah kāñcano vrksah phalakāle nikṛtyate/ na naptāram svakam nyāyyam saptum evam prajāpate, na mithyāvacanas ca tvam svapsyaty eşa na samsayah,kālas tu kriyatām asya sayane jāgare tathā/ Then Prajapati in reply to Indra addressed Kumbhakarna as follows: Decidedly Vishrava had created you to destroy by and by; now I am giving a shaap: You should lie asleep like a dead body as long as Vidhata Brahma granted your life.' As Prajapati declared thus, Rayana was badly perturbed and appealed to Prajapati: Mahatma! It appears that what had been created as a maha vriksha to yield a golden fruit is now being severed away and your curse too has similar result. Indeed your own blessing to create Kumbhakarna is thus being negated. Hence do very kindly indicate the timings when by dear brother be awaken or sleep off. Then Swayambhu Brahma decided that one day in every half year Kumbhakarna be awaken fully.' Vibhishana further informed Shri Rama: 'Rama! This is the reason why the vanra sxena is frightened away helter skelter. Having heard this, Shri Rama then accosted Vaanara Senapati Neela: 'Agni Nandana! Get ready now to attack with maha vrikshas and mountain boulders on the Raja Marga of Lankapuri. Then Gavaksha, Sharbha, Hanuman, Angada, were alerted too with their vriksha parvata shikhara too.

Sarga Sixty Two continues:

sa tu rākṣasaśārdūlo nidrāmada- samākulaḥ,rājamārgam śriyā juṣṭam yayau vipulavikramaḥ/ rākṣasānām sahasraiś ca vṛtaḥ paramadurjayaḥ, gṛhebhyaḥ puṣpavarṣeṇa kāryamāṇas tadā yayau/sa hemajālavitatam bhānubhāsvaradarśanam, dadarśa vipulam ramyam rāksasendraniveśanam/ sa tat tadā sūrya ivābhrajālam; praviśya rakso'dhipater niveśanam,dadarśa dūre 'grajam āsanastham; svayambhuvam śakra ivāsanastham/ so 'bhigamya grham bhrātuḥ kakṣyām abhivigāhya ca, dadarśodvignam āsīnam vimāne puspake gurum/ atha drstvā daśagrīvah kumbhakarnam upasthitam, tūrnam utthāya samhrstah samnikarsam upānayat/ athāsīnasya paryanke kumbhakarno mahābalah, bhrātur vavande caraṇām kim kṛtyam iti cābravīt, utpatya cainam mudito rāvaṇaḥ pariṣasvaje/ sa bhrātrā samparisvakto yathāvac cābhinanditaḥ, kumbhakarṇaḥ śubham divyam pratipede varāsanam/ tadāsanam āśritva kumbhakarno mahābalah, samraktanayanah kopād rāvanam vākyam abravīt/ kimartham aham ādrtya tvayā rājan prabodhitah, śamsa kasmād bhayam te 'sti ko 'dya preto bhavisyati/ bhrātaram rāvanah kruddham kumbhakarnam avasthitam, īsat tu parivṛttābhyām netrābhyām vākyam abravīt/ adya te sumahān kālah śayānasya mahābala, sukhitas tvam na jānīse mama rāmakṛtam bhayam/ esa dāśarathī rāmah sugrīvasahito balī, samudram sabalas tīrtvā mūlam nah parikṛntati/ hanta paśyasva lankāyā vanāny upavanāni ca, setunā sukham āgamya vānaraikārnavam kṛtam/ ye rākṣasā mukhyatamā hatās te vānarair yudhi, vānarāṇām kṣayam yuddhe na paśyāmi kadā cana/ sarvakṣapitakośam ca sa tvam abhvavapadva mām, trāvasvemām purīm lankām bālavrddhāvasesitām/ bhrātur arthe mahābāho kuru karma suduşkaram, mayaivam noktapūrvo hi kaś cid bhrātah paramtapa, tvayy asti mama ca snehaḥ parā sambhāvanā ca me/ devāsuravimardeṣu bahuśo rākṣasarṣabha, tvayā devāḥ prativyūhya nirjitāś cāsurā yudhi, na hi te sarvabhūtesu drśyate sadrśo balī/ kurusva me priyahitam etad uttamam; yathāpriyam priyaranabāndhavapriya, svatejasā vidhama sapatnavāhinīm; śaradghanam pavana ivodyato mahān/

As Kumbhakarna was approaching Ravana by raja marga, Lankapuravaasis were overjoyed and were resorting to 'pushpa varsha' all the way, even as earth was quaking on his way. Ravana welcomed the Maha Shaktimaan brother with embraces, as Kumbhakarna after initial enquiries, asked the elder brother as to what precisely was happening, and why was he alerted suddenly. Ravana replied: Maha Bali Veera! It was long time that you have been sleeping and meanwhile we are all meanwhile subjected to 'Rama bhaya'. Having crossed the maha samudra with Sugriva and vaanara sena is right now doing our 'kula vinashana'. ve rāksasā mukhvatamā hatās te vānarair vudhi, vānarānām ksavam vuddhe na paśvāmi kadā cana/ sarvaksapitakośam ca sa tvam abhyayapadya mām, trāyasyemām purīm lankām bālavṛddhāvaśeṣitām/ bhrātur arthe mahābāho kuru karma suduṣkaram, mayaivam noktapūrvo hi kaś cid bhrātah paramtapa, tvavv asti mama ca snehah parā sambhāvanā ca me/These vaanara shreshthas have been by and by eliminating our Rakshasa Maha Veeraas. Maha Baaho! For my sake, you should stand by me your elder brother, and save me from this crisis. Our treasury is gradually sinking and for my sake, save my long standing reputation and Lankapuri to doom. Even in the remote past I have never requested you in this desperate manner. I have supreme confidence in you and am reposing total dependability at this critical juncture. devāsuravimardeşu bahuśo rākṣasarṣabha, tvayā devāh prativyūhya nirjitāś cāsurā yudhi, na hi te sarvabhūtesu dṛśyate sadṛśo balī/ kuruṣva me priyahitam etad uttamam; yathāpriyam priyaranabāndhayapriya, syatejasā yidhama sapatnayāhinīm; śaradghanam payana iyodyato mahān/ Rakshasa Shiromani! Do you recall that at the Devaasura sangrama too you were my alternate maha veera and ensured our indelible success. Likewise, may this Maha Karya too be a thundereing triumph and I see none else who could comfortably depend on. You surely have an outstanding passion for battle by birth and nature any way and that is wshy do me the life saving 'maha kaarya' of annihilating the shatru sena into shreds like 'prachandamaya vaayu' pierces through and sweeps off 'sharad ritu meghas'!

Sarga Sixty Three

<u>Initially having reprimanded Ravana</u> not to have followed the basic principles of dharmika jeevana, pacified the elder brother later and asserted killings of Rama Lakshmana Sugriva Hanuman Vaanaras.

Tasya rākṣasarājasya niśamya paridevitam, kumbhakarṇo babhāṣe 'tha vacanam prajahāsa ca/ dṛṣṭo doṣo hi yo 'smābhiḥ purā mantravinirṇaye, hiteṣv anabhiyuktena so 'yam āsāditas tvayā/ śīghram khalv

abhyupetam tvām phalam pāpasya karmanah, nirayesv eva patanam yathā duskrtakarmanah/ prathamam vai mahārāja krtyam etad acintitam, kevalam vīryadarpena nānubandho vicāritah/ yah paścāt pūrvakāryāṇi kuryād aiśvaryam āsthitaḥ, pūrvam cottarakāryāṇi na sa veda nayānayau/ deśakālavihīnāni karmāṇi viparītavat, kriyamāṇāni duṣyanti havīmṣy aprayateṣv iva/ trayāṇām pañcadhā vogam karmanām vah prapaśvati, sacivaih samavam krtvā sa sabhve vartate pathi/ vathāgamam ca vo rājā samayam vicikīrsati, budhyate sacivān buddhyā suhrdas cānupasyati/ dharmam artham ca kāmam ca sarvān vā rakṣasām pate, bhajate puruṣaḥ kāle trīṇi dvandvāni vā punaḥ/ triṣu caiteṣu yac chreṣṭham śrutvā tan nāvabudhyate, rājā vā rājamātro vā vyartham tasya bahuśrutam/ upapradānam sāntvam vā bhedam kāle ca vikramam, yogam ca raksasām śrestha tāv ubhau ca nayānayau/ kāle dharmārthakāmān vah sammantrya sacivaih saha, nisevetātmavāml loke na sa vyasanam āpnuyāt/ hitānubandham ālokya kāryākāryam ihātmanah, rājā sahārthatattvajñaih sacivaih saha jīvati/ anabhijñāya śāstrārthān purusāh paśubuddhayah, prāgalbhyād vaktum icchanti mantresv abhyantarīkṛtāh/ aśāstravidusām tesām na kāryam ahitam vacah, arthaśāstrānabhijñānām vipulām śriyam icchatām/ ahitam ca hitākāram dhārstyāj jalpanti ye narāh, aveksya mantrabāhyās te kartavyāh krtyadūsanāh/ vināsayanto bhartāram sahitāh śatrubhir budhaih, viparītāni krtyāni kārayantīha mantrinah/ tān bhartā mitrasamkāśān amitrān mantranirnaye, vyavahārena jānīyāt sacivān upasamhitān/ capalasyeha kṛtyāni sahasānupradhāvataḥ, chidram anye prapadyante krauñcasya kham iva dvijāh/ yo hi śatrum avajñāya nātmānam abhirakṣati, avāpnoti hi so 'narthān sthānāc ca vyavaropyate/ tat tu śrutvā daśagrīvah kumbhakarnasya bhāsitam, bhrukutim caiva samcakre kruddhaś cainam uvāca ha/ mānyo gurur ivācāryah kim mām tvam anuśāsati, kim evam vākśramam kṛtvā kāle yuktam vidhīyatām/ vibhramāc cittamohād vā balavīryāśrayena vā, nābhipannam idānīm yad vyarthās tasya punaḥ kṛthāḥ/ asmin kāle tu yad yuktam tad idānīm vidhīyatām, mamāpanayajam doṣam vikrameṇa samīkuru/ yadi khalv asti me sneho bhrātṛtvam vāvagacchasi, yadi vā kāryam etat te hṛdi kāryatamam matam/ sa suhṛdyo vipannārtham dīnam abhyavapadyate, sa bandhur yo 'panītesu sāhāyyāyopakalpate/ tam athaiyam bruvānam tu vacanam dhīradārunam, rusto 'yam iti vijñāya śanaih ślaksnam uvāca ha/ atīva hi samālaksya bhrātaram ksubhitendriyam, kumbhakarnah śanair vākyam babhāse parisāntvayan/ alam rāksasarājendra samtāpam upapadya te, rosam ca samparityajya svastho bhavitum arhasi/naitan manasi kartavvyam mayi jīvati pārthiva, tam aham nāśayiṣyāmi yatkṛte paritapyase/ avaśyam tu hitam yācyam saryāyastham mayā taya, bandhubhāyād abhihitam bhrātrsnehāc ca pārthiva/ sadrṣʿam̄ yat tu kāle 'smin kartum̄ snigdhena bandhunā śatrūnām̄ kadanam̄ paśya kriyamāṇam mayā raṇe/ adya paśya mahābāho mayā samaramūrdhani,hate rāme saha bhrātrā dravantīm harivāhinīm/ adya rāmasya tad drstvā mayānītam ranāc chirah, sukhībhava mahābāho sītā bhavatu duhkhitā/ adya rāmasya paśyantu nidhanam sumahat priyam, lankāyām rāksasāh sarve ye te nihatabāndhavāh/ adya śokaparītānām svabandhuvadhakāranāt, śatror yudhi vināśena karomy asrapramārjanam/ adya parvatasamkāśam sasūryam iva toyadam, vikīrnam paśya samare sugrīvam plavageśvaram/ na parah presanīyas te yuddhāyātula vikrama, aham utsādayisyāmi śatrūms tava mahābala/ yadi śakro yadi yamo yadi pāvakamārutau, tān aham yodhayisyāmi kubera varuņāv api/ girimātraśarīrasya śitaśūladharasya me, nardatas tīkṣṇadamṣṭrasya bibhīyāc ca puramdaraḥ/ atha vā tvaktaśastrasya mrdgatas tarasā ripūn, na me pratimukhe kaś cic chaktah sthātum jijīvisuh/ naiva śaktyā na gadayā nāsinā na śitaiḥ śaraiḥ, hastābhyām eva samrabdho haniṣyāmy api vajriṇam/ yadi me mustivegam sa rāghavo 'dya sahisyati, tataḥ pāsyanti bāṇaughā rudhiram rāghavasya te/ cintayā bādhyase rājan kimartham mayi tisthati, so 'ham śatruvināśāya tava niryātum udyatah/ muñca rāmād bhayam rājan hanisyāmīha samyuge, rāghayam laksmanam caiva sugrīvam ca mahābalam, asādhāranam icchāmi tava dātum mahad vaśah/ vadhena te dāśaratheh sukhāvaham; sukham samāhartum aham vrajāmi, nihatya rāmam sahalaksmaņena; khādāmi sarvān hariyūthamukhyān/ ramasva kāmam piba cāgryavāruņīm; kurusva krtyāni vinīyatām jvaraḥ, mayādya rāme gamite yamakşayam; cirāya sītā vaśagā bhavişyati/

As Maha Ravana kept on expressing his distress to Kumbhakarna that at that critical juncture of Shri Rama's upper hand especially at his worst ever humiliation, Kumbhakarna gave an assuring smile and stated: 'Dear brother, even in the past when I myself and Vibhishana advised you you had ingored the forewarnings. (Sarga 12 above is refreshed: 'Brother Ravana: May I at the outset of your love for Sita

and your kidnapping her; after all, our combined comment should be that if River Yamuna were to have landed from Yamunetri mountain top to earth then the ferocious speed could not be contained into a kundaka as the overflows would have to submerged into a Maha Sagara. In other words: if your onesided love affair had actually happened, then be prepared for the consequences also! You could have informed this Maha Sabha even far earlier well before extending a hand already burnt! Neeti Shastra underlines the need for prioritizing significant tasks of what to be handled foremost. The need for assessing the strength of enemies before flinging into attacks is the common sense as finding shortcomings and lapses in retrospection would be of wasteful endeavors; this is like the haste of Krouncha birds flying off in haste to the top of the Krouncha Mountain being unaware of the fact that the mountain itself would be broken down any time and then seek to hold the mountain boulders falling down to earth any way).

śīghram khalv abhyupetam tvām phalam pāpasya karmanah, nirayesv eva patanam yathā duşkrtakarmanah/ prathamam vai mahārāja krtyam etad acintitam, kevalam vīryadarpena nānubandho vicāritah/ yaḥ paścāt pūrvakāryāṇi kuryād aiśvaryam āsthitaḥ, pūrvam cottarakāryāṇi na sa veda nayānayau/ Maha Raja! The past deeds of 'dushkarma' have since borne fruit already, just as the deeds of questionable nature ought to be doomed to narkaas. Maha Raja!Out of sheer arrogance and of selfestimation, you never heeded helpful advices, quite ignoring the consequences. You have had the 'aishvarya durabhimaana' and ignored the 'karana yogya neeti-aneeti karyas'. deśakālavihīnāni karmāni viparītavat, kriyamānāni dusyanti havīmsy aprayatesviva/ trayānām pañcadhā yogam karmanām yah prapaśyati, sacivaih samayam krtvā sa sabhye vartate pathi/ yathāgamam ca yo rājā samayam vicikīrṣati, budhyate sacivān buddhyā suhrdaś cānupaśyati/ dharmam artham ca kāmam ca sarvān vā rakṣasām pate, bhajate puruṣaḥ kāle trīṇi dvandvāni vā punaḥ/As one would ignore the 'deshakaala vyavaharana' and acts contrarily to it, then 'samskara heena agni homa havishaanna'leads to either 'nisbhphalita' or even 'dushphalita'! A King should always seek the valued opinions of his mantri's advices of pros and cons, as also of the consequences of 'kshaya-vridhhi-sthaanarupaas' and accordingly utilise the 'Saama-Daana Bheda Danda chaturopaayaas'. Thus before initiating an issue which should be taken up at the 'karyaarambha'. five inputs are essential - Man power, affordability of money power, deshakaala paristithis, vipat nivarana upayaas, and karya siddhi or the certainty assurance of success. Thus a successful King truly follows the well established precepts of neeti shastra and takes a swim of cool waters instead a hasty plunge as per his own volition with the least consideration of 'katavya-akartavya viveka vichakshana' would invariably led to the doom. Rakshasa Raja! Neetigina Purushas must be able to apply the purshardhas of dharma-artha-kaama-mokshas as per the situatiounal exigencies like the combinatioins of dharma artha-artha dharma- kaama artha, just as praatahkala dharma-madhaahna kaala artha and raatri kaama vidhana. trisu caitesu yac chrestham śrutvā tan nāvabudhyate, rājā vā rājamātro vā vyartham tasya bahuśrutam/ upapradānam sāntvam vā bhedam kāle ca vikramam, yogam ca rakṣasām śrestha tāv ubhau ca nayānayau/ kāle dharmārthakāmān yaḥ sammantrya sacivaiḥ saha, nişevetātmavāmil loke na sa vyasanam āpnuyāt/Indeed, of the three purusharthas, Dharma in any case is most desirable while in special applications the swing of balance might slightly tilt some times somewhat to artha and or kaama, but yet always on the dharma side. Rakshasa Shiromani! An ideal king must necessarily consult the mantri mandali in any case and use his own discretion apply daana-bhedapraakrama and apply the five folded criteria of Man power, affordability of money power, deshakaala paristithis, vipat nivarana upayaas, and karya siddhi, besides naya, anayaka upaayas ought not to lead to upadravasaa of this nature!. hitānubandham ālokya kāryākāryam ihātmanah, rājā sahārthatattvajñaih sacivaih saha jīvati/ anabhijñāya śāstrārthān puruṣāh paśubuddhayah, prāgalbhyād vaktum icchanti mantreşv abhyantarīkṛtāḥ/ aśāstraviduṣām teṣām na kāryam ahitam vacaḥ, arthaśāstrānabhijñānām vipulām śriyam icchatām/A King must realise 'artha tatvagjna' and 'mantri parisheelana' and success is then assured. But pashu samaana buddhi beyond consultations would very obviously lead to disasters. At the same time, 'shastra jnaana shunya-artha shastra anabhigina -ayogya mantris' who are merely the 'yesmen' ministeres are bound to lead the King to disasters. tān bhartā mitrasamkāśān amitrān mantranirnaye, vyavahārena jānīyāt sacivān upasamhitān/ capalasyeha krtyāni sahasānupradhāvatah, chidram anye prapadyante krauñcasya kham iya dyijāh/ Eyen as the king in the behavior pattern of

excessive and untimely praises showereing on the king could easily realise that the minister concerned is suspicion worthy and of less dependability either due to corruptive practices or hiding incompetence. The 'chanchal manasvi raja' due to 'bhoutika-maanasika durbalata' then seeks to hit like a desperate bird seeks to hit a krouncha parvata and hurt itself. yo hi śatrum avajñāya nātmānam abhirakṣāti, avāpnoti hi so 'narthān sthānāc ca vyavaropyate/ Yaduktamiha te poorvam priyayaa menujena cha, tadeva no hitam vaakyan yathedcchasi tathaa kuru/ A King who wishes to blame and seek to jest and joke the enemy king would rundown himself without setting his own psyche in order. Your own priya Mandodari and brother Vibhishana your 'shreyobhilaasha' younger brother advised you repeatedly yet you seemed to haved asserted your way or no way! tat tu śrutvā daśagrīvah kumbhakarnasya bhāsitam, bhrukutim caiva samcakre kruddhaś cainam uvāca ha/ mānyo gurur ivācāryah kim mām tvam anuśāsati, kim evam vākśramam kṛtvā kāle yuktam vidhīyatām/ vibhramāc cittamohād vā balavīryāśrayena vā, nābhipannam idānīm yad vyarthās tasya punah kṛthāh/On hearing the 'neeti vakayas' and the retributory impact as of then, Ravana's semi dark face got reddened with his eye brows were unduly twisted and addressed Kumbhakarana: Brother, why are you lecturing away the 'neeti bodhanas' like a Guru Achaarya and of which avail of these 'bhaashanas' now, but now come to the brass tags of the nitty gritty and my request is to do what is expected of you right now! If I had performed something out of bhrama-chitta chanchalya or even of the support of my own 'bala paraakramas', whether you people might or not appreciate, this should be a mere waste of time, but even if this were to be the 'aneeti yukta duhkha' be rooted out right now! asmin kāle tu yad yuktam tad idānīm vidhīyatām, mamāpanayajam dosam vikramena samīkuru/ yadi khalv asti me sneho bhrātṛtvam vāvagacchasi, yadi vā kāryam etat te hṛdi kāryatamam matam/ sa suhrdyo vipannārtham dīnam abhyavapadyate, sa bandhur yo 'panīteşu sāhāyyāyopakalpate/ Whatever might have happened had happened and there would be no point in digging the past, yet keeping in view our excellent relationship so far, do please consider as your intimate duty and attack the enemy to the best of your capability at this critical juncture.' As Ravana beseeched him likewise, Kumbhakarna relplied: 'Shatrudamana Maharaja! Listen to me carefully. Please do not worry at all. I would soon reverse your agony to roaring and sensational triumph. Even as I am alive and kicking, your concern is my bounden duty and the difficulty now being faced should be kicked off. I am not merely saying so neither owing to 'bandhu bhaava or bhratru bhava' but as my responsibility as you would see for yourself that the enemy is totally devastated. adva paśya mahābāho mayā samaramūrdhani, hate rāme saha bhrātrā drayantīm harivāhinīm/ adya rāmasya tad dṛṣṭvā mayānītam raṇāc chirah, sukhībhava mahābāho sītā bhavatu duhkhitā/ adya rāmasya paśyantu nidhanam sumahat priyam, lankāyām rāksasāh sarve ve te nihatabāndhavāh/Maha Baaho! Do note that your sworn enemy Rama along with Lakshmana having been smashed down to earth, you should your self see how the monkey brigade should run helter skelter.Lankeshwara! You should see me only after Rama's head falls off and show the same to you so thatg you could gift it to Sita as she should drown herself in 'duhkha saagara'. Then you could tease her asserting that so far she was tormented by Rakshasas but now you may get relieved of 'Shri Rama baadha' too and most possibly she might indulge in amorous words then. adya śokaparītānām svabandhuvadhakāranāt, satror vudhi vināsena karomy asrapramārjanam/ adva parvatasamkāsam sasūryam iva tovadam, vikīrnam paśya samare sugrīvam plavagesvaram/ na parah presanīyas te yuddhāyātula vikrama, aham utsādayişyāmi śatrūms tava mahābala/ Futher the shatru sena veeraas get killed, their close relatives of the dead souls would cry out and seek to pacify each other. As parvata samanana Sugriva would get killed with rakta dhaaras emerge flowing off then he would sight sky with Surya and the bright clouds nearby. Nishachara Raja! Now this is the time that you should command me to face the shatru sena as you need not get least perturbed as to how you might wonder how to get rid of 'Rama baadha' any further. Be assured that even if Indra, Yama, Agni, Vaayu, Kubera, or Varuna face me then I should uproot them and throw off. I am blessed with a mountainous body structure and my simha naadaas would scare off deva danavas. I need not struggle with aayudhas like Shakti, Gada, or dhanur baanaas or swords, shulaas and such but could attack Vajra Dhari Indra too to mrityu ghaat. Ravana Raja! You suffer from Rama bhaya is it not so, don't you worry, I should smother Rama Lakshmana Sugrivaas too. If ever I were to face Hanuman I should not leave him alive and bring glory to

you for the series of such deaths.. Raja! Do initiate your celebrations now with wine and women and get rid of all the concerns of life for ever!

Sarga Sixty Four

As Kumbhakarna boasted off his certain victory, Mahodara warned of Rama's invincibilty but the latter was infuriated, demanded Sita's surrender and proceeded against Rama with four more Rakshasa Veeras.

Tad uktam atikāyasya balino bāhuśālinah, kumbhakarnasya vacanam śrutvovāca mahodarah/ kumbhakarnakule jāto dhṛṣṭaḥ prākṛtadarśanaḥ, avalipto na śaknoṣi kṛtyam sarvatra veditum/ na hi rājā na jānīte kumbhakarna nayānayau, tvam tu kaiśorakād dhṛstah kevalam vaktum icchasi/ sthānam vrddhim ca hānim ca deśakālavibhāgavit, ātmanaś ca paresām ca budhyate rāksasarsabha/ yat tu śakyam balavatā kartum prākṛtabuddhinā, anupāsitavṛddhena kaḥ kuryāt tādṛśam budhaḥ/ yāms tu dharmārthakāmāms tvam bravīşi pṛthag āśrayān, anuboddhum svabhāvena na hi lakṣaṇam asti te/karma caiva hi sarvesām kāranānām pravojanam, śrevah pāpīvasām cātra phalam bhavati karmanām/ niḥśreyasa phalāv eva dharmārthāv itarāv api, adharmānarthayoḥ prāptiḥ phalam ca pratyavāyikam/ aihalaukikapāratryam karma pumbhir niṣevyate, karmāṇy api tu kalpyāni labhate kāmam āsthitaḥ/ tatra kļptam idam rājñā hṛdi kāryam matam ca nah, śatrau hi sāhasam vat svāt kim ivātrāpanīvate/ ekasyaivābhiyāne tu hetur yah prakṛtas tvayā, tatrāpy anupapannam te vaksyāmi yad asādhu ca/ yena pūrvam janasthāne bahavo 'tibalā hatāḥ, rākṣasā rāghavam tam tvam katham eko jayiṣyasi/ ye purā nirjitās tena janasthāne mahaujasaḥ, rākṣasāms tān pure sarvān bhītān adyāpi paśyasi/ tam simham iva samkruddham rāmam daśarathātmajam, sarpam suptam ivābuddhyā prabodhayitum icchasi/jvalantam tejasā nityam krodhena ca durāsadam, kas tam mṛtyum ivāsahyam āsādayitum arhati/ samsayastham idam sarvam śatroh pratisamāsane, ekasya gamanam tatra na hi me rocate tava/ hīnārthas tu samrddhārtham ko ripum prākyto vathā, niścitam jīvitatyāge vaśam ānetum icchati/ yasya nāsti manusyesu sadrśo rāksasottama, katham āśamsase voddhum tulyenendravivasvatoh/ evam uktvā tu samrabdham kumbhakarnam mahodarah, uvāca rakṣasām madhye rāvano lokarāvanam/ labdhvā punas tām vaidehīm kimartham tvam prajalpasi, vadecchasi tadā sītā vaśagā te bhavisvati/ drstah kaś cid upāvo me sītopasthānakārakah, rucitaś cet svavā buddhvā rāksaseśvara tam śrnu/ aham dvijihvah samhrādī kumbhakarno vitardanah, pañcarāmavadhāyaite niryāntīty avaghoṣaya/ tato gatvā vayam yuddham dāsyāmas tasya yatnatah, jesyāmo yadi te śatrūn nopāyaih krtyam asti nah/ atha jīvati nah śatrur vayam ca krtasamyugāh, tatah samabhipatsyāmo manasā yat samīksitum/ vayam yuddhād ihaisyāmo rudhirena samuksitāh, vidārya svatanum bānai rāmanāmānkitaih śitaih/ bhaksito rāghavo 'smābhir laksmana's ceti vādinah, tava pādau grahīsyāmas tvam nah kāma prapūraya/ tato 'vaghosaya pure gajaskandhena pārthiva, hato rāmah saha bhrātrā sasainya iti sarvatah/ prīto nāma tato bhūtvā bhṛtyānām tvam arimdama, bhogāms ca parivārāms ca kāmāms ca vasudāpaya/ tato mālyāni vāsāmsi vīrāṇām anulepanam, peyam ca bahu yodhebhyah svayam ca muditah piba/ tato 'smin bahulībhūte kaulīne sarvato gate, pravišvāšvāsva cāpi tvam sītām rahasi sāntvava, dhanadhānvaiš ca kāmaiš ca ratnaiš cainām pralobhaya/ anayopadhayā rājan bhayaśokānubandhayā,akāmā tvadvaśam sītā naṣṭanāthā gamişyati/rañjanīyam hi bhartāram vinaṣṭam avagamya sā, nairāśyāt strīlaghutvāc ca tvadvaśam pratipatsyate/ sā purā sukhasamyrddhā sukhārhā duhkhakarsitā, tvayy adhīnah sukham jñātvā sarvathopagamisyati/ etat sunītam mama darśanena; rāmam hi dṛstvaiva bhaved anarthah, ihaiva te setsyati motsuko bhūr; mahān ayuddhena sukhasya lābhah/ anastasainyo hy anavāptasamśayo; ripūn ayuddhena jayañ janādhipa, yaśaś ca punyam ca mahan mahīpate; śriyam ca kīrtim ca ciram samaśnute/

Having heard Kumbhakarna's yellings of victory shouts asking Ravana to initiate celibrations, Maha Rakshasa Mahodara addressed Mahakaaya Kumbhakarna: I am sorry to state that your body stature would not become of your mental sharpness which is of 'nimna shreni'. You have certainly used the expressions of purushardhaas of dharma-artha-kama-mokshas which our King too would be too conversant with. He is well aware of the expression of 'desha kaala paristhis' and of the capacity to adapt himself too while

you being under long spells of slumber and sleep not have practical knowledge. karma caiva hi sarvesām kāraṇānām prayojanam, śreyaḥ pāpīyasām cātra phalam bhavati karmaṇām/ niḥśreyasa phalāv eva dharmārthāv itarāv api, adharmānarthayoh prāptih phalam ca pratyavāyikam/ aihalaukikapāratryam karma pumbhir nişevyate, karmāny api tu kalpyāni labhate kāmam āsthitah/ The saadhana bhutas of comfortable living are indeed the practice of trivargas of dharma-artha-kaamas and accordingly the 'shubhaashubha' consequences. 'Nishkaama bhava karmaachaana' of japa-dhyana-yagjna are distinct from 'kamya bhaavaacharana'. The jeevaas tend to practise dharmaadharma karyas and the resultant fruits are reaped either during one; songoing life itself or as carry forwards as 'sanchita or praarabhdha'. tatra klptam idam rājñā hrdi kārvam matam ca nah, śatrau hi sāhasam vat svāt kim ivātrāpanīvate/ ekasyaivābhiyāne tu hetur yaḥ prakṛtas tvayā, tatrāpy anupapannam te vaksyāmi yad asādhu ca/ Now Ravana Raja's 'kaamarupi purushardha sevana' is justified or not is the issue to be pondered over. May be that action could be due to the momentary 'mano chanchalata' that any praani in Brahma Shrishti would be prone to; no doubt that 'mano chanchalata' might not be justified by 'adarsha vaadis'. But in practical life, despite the dharma paripaalana, even Maha Munis do have moments of 'stree vaancha'. Hence King Ranava in a way would not be condemn-worthy downright. As King Ravana had decided once for all and the mantris too approved albeit with a few dissent voices; in which manner could Kumbhakarna decide unilatereally that what the king had done was the meanest downright? Kumbhakarna! You have just now made a 'yuddha ghoshana' which too was worthy of invalidation. yena pūrvam janasthāne bahavo 'tibalā hatāḥ, rākṣasā rāghavam tam tvam katham eko jayiṣyasi/ ye purā nirjitās tena janasthāne mahaujasaḥ, rāksasāms tān pure sarvān bhītān adyāpi paśyasi/ tam simham iva samkruddham rāmam daśarathātmajam, sarpam suptam ivābuddhyā prabodhayitum icchasi/ Shri Rama at the 'janasthaana' smashed down maha rakshasa veeraas like Khara Dushanas single handed; would it be a child's play for you to do so; even earlier at the janasthaana, Rama shattered countless rakshasaas; have you taken note of that forget worthy recodrs. I am astonished at your foolhardiness to face Rama alone as you do not seem to waking up to play with a 'maha sarpa'! jvalantam tejasā nityam krodhena ca durāsadam, kas tam mrtyum ivāsahyam āsādayitum arhati/ samsayastham idam sarvam satroh pratisamāsane, ekasya gamanam tatra na hi me rocate tava/ hīnārthas tu samṛddhārtham ko ripum prākṛto yathā, niścitam jīvitatyāge vaśam ānetum icchati/ yasya nāsti manusyesu sadršo rāksasottama, katham āśamsase yoddhum tulyenendravivasvatoh/ Shri Rama is a natural 'tejasvi' of outstanting splendour and to incite him with provocation should be like playing with 'mrityu'. Indeed how much are aware in your partial wakefullness. Our entire Rakasha Maha Veeraas headed by their King had failed to stand erect before Rama and are you still dreaming that you could fight with him all be yourself. Rahshasa shiromani! You are truly underestimating the capability of the opponent, as Rama is no less thar Indra and Surya and inviting death!' As Mahodara Rakshasa made 'apahaasaa' of Kumbhakarna in the Ravana Sabha, he raised his voice and addressed King Rayana: 'Maha Raja! Why do you not call for Sita and have her as she ought to obey you and surrender! Further make a public announcement that Mahodara, Dvijihva, Samhladi, Kumbhakarana and Vitirdana as the Pancha Maha Rakshasaas are going to attack the enemy! Then let us all the Pancha Rakshsa Veeras do our very best to encounter Rama worthy of killing or attain veera swarga.

Sarga Sixty Five

Kumbhakarna 'Rana Yatra', notwithstanding spates of 'dusshakunas'

Sa tathoktas tu nirbhartsya kumbhakarno mahodaram,abravīd rākṣasaśreṣṭham bhrātaram rāvaṇam tataḥ/so 'ham tava bhayam ghoram vadhāt tasya durātmanaḥ, rāmasyādya pramārjāmi nirvairas tvam sukhībhava/ garjanti na vṛthā śūra nirjalā iva toyadāḥ, paśya sampādyamānam tu garjitam yudhi karmaṇā/ na marṣayati cātmānam sambhāvayati nātmanā, adarśayitvā śūrās tu karma kurvanti duṣkaram/ viklavānām abuddhīnām rājñām paṇḍitamāninām, śṛṇvatām ādita idam tvadvidhānām mahodara/ yuddhe kāpuruṣair nityam bhavadbhiḥ priyavādibhiḥ., rājānam anugacchadbhiḥ kṛtyam etad vināśitam/ rājaśeṣā kṛtā laṅkā kṣīṇaḥ kośo balam hatam, rājānam imam āsādya suhṛccihnam amitrakam/ eṣa niryāmy aham yuddham udyataḥ śatrunirjaye, durnayam bhavatām adya samīkartum mahāhave/ evam uktavato vākyam kumbhakarṇasya dhīmataḥ, pratyuvāca tato vākyam prahasan rākṣasādhipaḥ/ mahodaro 'yam rāmāt tu paritrasto na samśayaḥ, na hi rocayate tāta yuddham yuddhaviśārada/ kaś cin me tvatsamo nāsti sauhṛdena balena ca, gaccha śatruvadhāya tvam kumbhakarṇajayāya ca/ ādade niśitam śūlam vegāc chatrunibarhaṇaḥ, sarvakālāyasam dīptam taptakāñcanabhūṣaṇam/ indrāśanisamam bhīmam

vjrapratimagauravam, devadānavagandharvayak sakimnaras ūdanam/raktamālya mahādāma svatas codgatapāvakam, ādāva niśitam śūlam śatruśonitarañjitam, kumbhakarno mahātejā rāvanam vākvam abravīt/ gamiṣyāmy aham ekākī tiṣṭhatv iha balam mahat, adya tān kṣudhitaḥ kruddho bhakṣayiṣyāmi vānarān/ kumbhakarṇavacaḥ śrutvā rāvaṇo vākyam abravīt, sainyaiḥ parivṛto gaccha śūlamudgalapānibhih/ vānarā hi mahātmānah śīghrāś ca vyavasāyinah, ekākinam pramattam vā nayeyur daśanaih ksayam/ tasmāt paramadurdharsaih sainyaih parivrto vraja, raksasām ahitam sarvam śatrupakṣam nisūdaya/ athāsanāt samutpatya srajam maṇikrtāntarām, ābabandha mahātejāh kumbhakarnasya rāvaṇaḥ/ aṅgadān aṅgulīveṣṭān varāṇy ābharaṇāni ca, hāraṁ ca śaśisaṁkāśam ābabandha mahātmanah/ divyāni ca sugandhīni mālyadāmāni rāvaṇaḥ, śrotre cāsajjayām āsa śrīmatī cāsya kundale/ kāñcanāngadakeyūro niskābharanabhūsitah, kumbhakarno brhatkarnah suhuto 'gnir ivābabhau/ śronīsūtrena mahatā mecakena virājitah, amrtotpādane naddho bhujamgeneva mandarah/ sa kāñcanam bhārasaham nivātam; vidyutprabham dīptam ivātmabhāsā, ābadhyamānah kavacam rarāja; samdhyābhrasamvīta ivādrirājah/ sarvābharananaddhāngah śūlapānih sa rāksasah, trivikramakṛtotsāho nārāyaṇa ivābabhau/ bhrātaram sampariṣvajya kṛtvā cāpi pradakṣiṇam, praṇamya śirasā tasmai sampratasthe mahābalih, tam āśīrbhih praśastābhih presayām āsa rāyanah/ śankhadundubhinirghosaih sainvaiś cāpi varāvudhaih, tam gajaiś ca turamgaiś ca svandanaiś cāmbudasvanaih, anujagmur mahātmānam rathino rathinām varam/ sarpair uṣṭraiḥ kharair aśvaiḥ simhadvipamṛgadvijaiḥ, anujagmuś ca tam ghoram kumbhakarnam mahābalam/ sa puspavarnair avakīryamāno; dhrtātapatrah śitaśūlapānih, madotkatah śonitagandhamatto; viniryayau dānavadevaśatruh/ padātayaś a bahavo mahānādā mahābalāh, anvayū rāksasā bhīmā bhīmāksāh śastrapānayah/raktāksāh sumahākāyā nīlāñjanacayopamāh, śūrān udyamya khadgāms ca nisitāms ca parasvadhān/bahuvyāmāms ca vipulān kşepanīyān durāsadān, tālaskandhām's ca vipulān ksepanīyān durāsadān/ athānyad vapur ādāya dāruṇam lomaharṣaṇam,niṣpapāta mahātejāḥ kumbhakarṇo mahābalah/ dhanuḥśataparīṇāhaḥ sa satśatasamucchitaḥ, raudraḥ śakaṭacakrākṣo mahāparvatasamnibhaḥ/ samnipatya ca rakṣāmsi dagdhaśailopamo mahān, kumbhakarno mahāvaktrah prahasann idam abravīt/ adva vānaramukhvānām tāni yūthāni bhāgaśaḥ, nirdahiṣyāmi samkruddhaḥ śalabhān iva pāvakaḥ/ nāparādhyanti me kāmam vānarā vanacāriņaḥ, jātir asmadvidhānām sā purodyānavibhūṣaṇam/ purarodhasya mūlam tu rāghavaḥ sahalaksmanah, hate tasmin hatam sarvam tam vadhisyāmi samvuge/ evam tasya bruvānasya kumbhakarnasya rāksasāh, nādam cakrur mahāghoram kampayanta ivārnavam/ tasya nispatatas tūrnam kumbhakarnasya dhīmatah, babhūvur ghorarūpāni nimittāni samantatah/ ulkāśaniyutā meghā vineduś ca sudāruṇāḥ, sasāgaravanā caiva vasudhā samakampata/ ghorarūpāḥ śivā neduḥ sajvālakavalair mukhaiḥ, mandalāny apasavyāni babandhuś ca vihamgamāh/ nispapāta ca grdhre 'sya śūle vai pathi gacchatah prāsphuran nayanam cāsya savyo bāhur akampata/ niṣpapāta tadā coklā įvalantī bhīmanisvanā, ādityo niṣprabhaś cāsīn na pravāti sukho 'nilaḥ/ acintayan mahotpātān utthitām'l lomaharṣaṇān, niryayau kumbhakarnas tu krtāntabalacoditah/ sa laṅghayitvā prākāram padbhyām parvatasamnibhah, dadarśābhraghanaprakhyam vānarānīkam adbhutam/te dṛstvā rāksasaśrestham vānarāh parvatopamam, vāyununnā iva ghanā yayuḥ sarvā diśas tadā/ tad vānarānīkam atipracaṇḍam; diśo dravad bhinnam ivābhrajālam, sa kumbhakarnah samaveksva harsān; nanāda bhūvo ghanavad ghanābhah/ te tasva

ghoram ninadam niśamya; yathā ninādam divi vāridasya, petur dharaṇyām bahavaḥ plavamgā; nikrttamūlā iva sālavrkṣāḥ/ vipulaparighavān sa kumbhakarṇo; ripunidhanāya viniḥsrto mahātmā, kapi gaṇabhayam ādadat subhīmam; prabhur iva kimkaradaṇḍavān yugānte/

As Mahodara gave his undesirable comments on his excited enthusiasm to encounter against Rama and followers, Kumbhakarna asserted himself and addressed King Ravana: 'Raja! Now I would proceed against Rama and his vaanara sena and relieve you of your anxiety be viewing my 'yuddha sthala paraakrama'. Then having asserted thus, Kumbhakarma addressed Mahodara thus: What all had blabbered to the King with stupidly, arrogance and one-uppish mischievousness, could the King himself be pleased with! Having proved yourself of your timidity to face an encounter with herioc opposition, you had displayed your 'yes, no' kind of attitude and sought to apply brakes in my 'vijaya yaatra'. Now the King is bereft of active assistance and the treasury is getting emptied fast, while raksha veeraas are getting scarcer by the days while one wonders that personalities like you are 'shatrus or mitras'!' Then Ravana intervened and said: 'Brother Kumbhakarna! How indeed could ever be compared with you of my 'atmeeyata'! Now, kindlly proceed to the battle ground and return with sensational victory. Do proceed like Yamaraja with shula and like Suryasamaana tejas and get rid of both the Raja Kumaras and the Vaanara Peeda! Surely the Vaanaras with one look by them of your very form and looks of ferocity should fall off with 'dikbhranti' or runaway helter skelter with scare.' Kumbhakarna was thrilled at what Ravana asserted and stepped off Lankapuri while asserting that there not be a Rakshasa Sena to be followed as he would proceed as such with a shula by his huge arms. His 'deha kaanti' was then like of Indra himself with vajraayudha, heavily garlanded. Ravana the asked the younger brother to allow select rakshasa veeraas as body guards too as circled around with their armoury. Then a 'loha kavacha' across his gigantic chest was shielded. Then Rayana embraced the brother with affection as Kumbhakarna bent his head down with admirable loyalty. As shankhaaraavaas and dundubhi naadaas were resounding, Rakshasa army followed from a distance as the foot soldiers were carrying poisonous snakes, besides armoured and trained men by camels, donkeys, lions, elephants, and even wild birds. Then Maha Kaaya Kumbhakarna addressed Rakshasa sena as follows: 'adya vānaramukhyānām tāni yūthāni bhāgaśaḥ, nirdahisyāmi samkruddhah śalabhān iva pāvakah/ nāparādhyanti me kāmam vānarā vanacārinah, jātir asmadvidhānām sā purodyānavibhūṣaṇam/ purarodhasya mūlam tu rāghavaḥ sahalakṣmaṇaḥ, hate tasmin hatam sarvam tam vadhisyāmi samyuge/ Rakashasaas! Just as a patanga or a kite with its tail gets ignited, I would be angered to push down select vaanara veeras as heaps of ash. How ever I feel sorry for devouring the hapless vanya vaanaras jumping in fruit gardens in the process. Actually the root causes for this disaster in Lankapuri are not these hapless vaanaraas, but Lakshmanasahita Shri Rama. In my offensive in this maha yuddha, I ought to smash them down as the vaanaras are the incidental casualities.' Having addressed the Rakshasaas in this manner, Kumbhakarna proceeded with his 'mahaa rana yatra' with 'maha garjanas'. tasya nispatatas tūrnam kumbhakarnasya dhīmatah, babhūvur ghorarūpāni nimittāni samantataļ/ ulkāśaniyutā meghā vineduś ca sudārunāļ, sasāgaravanā caiva vasudhā samakampata/ ghorarūpāh śivā neduh sajvālakavalair mukhaih, mandalāny apasavyāni babandhuś ca vihamgamāh/ Even as the procession moved off and got momentum, crowds of 'ulkaayukta megha amudaaya' or intense dark cloud clusters with meteors appeared on the sky with lightnings followed severe earth quakes, and 'samudra bhibhatsa'. Frightening groups of owls with enflamed eyes surrounded Kumbhakarna's face and massive body frame and had attacked. As Kumbhakarna made faster steps, his shulayudha was attacked by the groups of owls. niṣpapāta ca gṛdhre 'sya śūle vai pathi gacchataḥ prāsphuran nayanam cāsya savyo bāhur akampata/ niṣpapāta tadā coklā įvalantī bhīmanisvanā, ādityo nişprabhaś cāsīn na pravāti sukho 'nilah/ acintayan mahotpātān utthitām'l lomaharşanān, niryayau

kumbhakarṇas tu kṛtāntabalacoditaḥ/Further the attacks were on his eyes and shoulders while his left eyes were shaking severely. Simultaniously groups of meteors hit the skies making bhayankara shabdas again and again repeatedly. Yet Kumbhakarna poceeded further on and on as of 'kaala prabhava'!

Sarga Sixty Six

As many Vaanaras were dazed at Kumbhakarna ran way despite Angada's appeals as either death with veera swarga, then Maha Vanaras like Neela, Gavaksha, Hanuman then dedided to confront the enemy

Sa nanāda mahānādam samudram abhinādayan, janayann iva nirghātān vidhamann iva parvatān/tam avadhyam maghavatā yamena varuņena ca, prekṣya bhīmākṣam āyāntam vānarā vipradudruvuḥ/ tāms tu vidravato dṛṣṭvā vāliputro 'ngado 'bravīt, nalam nīlam gavākṣam ca kumudam ca mahābalam/ ātmānam atra vismṛtya vīryāṇy abhijanāni ca, kva gacchata bhayatrastāḥ prākṛtā harayo yathā/ sādhu saumyā nivartadhvam kim prānān pariraksatha, nālam yuddhāya vai rakso mahatīyam vibhīsikāh/ mahatīm utthitām enām rākṣasānām vibhīṣikām, vikramād vidhamiṣyāmo nivartadhvam plavamgamāḥ/ krcchrena tu samāśvāsya samgamya ca tatas tataḥ, vṛkṣādrihastā harayaḥ sampratasthū raṇājiram/ te nivṛtya tu samkruddhāh kumbhakarnam vanaukasah, nijaghnuh paramakruddhāh samadā iva kuñjarāh, prāmśubhir giriśrngaiś ca śilābhiś ca mahābalāh/ pādapaiḥ puṣpitāgraiś ca hanyamāno na kampate, tasya gātreşu patitā bhidyante śataśah śilāh, pādapāh puspitāgrāś ca bhagnāh petur mahītale/ so 'pi sainyāni samkruddho vānarāṇām mahaujasām, mamantha paramāyatto vanāny agnir ivotthitaḥ/ lohitārdrās tu bahavaļi serate vānararṣabhāḥ, nirastāḥ patitā bhūmau tāmrapuṣpā iva drumāḥ/ langhayantah pradhāyanto vānarā nāvalokayan, ke cit samudre patitāh ke cid gaganam āśritāh/ vadhyamānās tu te vīrā rākṣasena balīyasā, sāgaram yena te tīrṇāḥ pathā tenaiva dudruvuḥ/ te sthalāni tathā nimnam vişannavadanā bhayāt, rkṣā vṛkṣān samārūḍhāḥ ke cit parvatam āśritāh/ mamajjur arṇave ke cid guhāḥ ke cit samāśritāḥ, niṣeduḥ plavagāḥ ke cit ke cin naivāvatasthire/ tān samīkṣyāṅgado bhangān vānarān idam abravīt, avatisthata yudhyāmo nivartadhvam plavamgamāh/ bhagnānām vo na paśyāmi parigamya mahīm imām, sthānam sarve nivartadhyam kim prānān pariraksatha/ nirāyudhānām dravatām asamgagatipaurusāh, dārā hy apahasisyanti sa vai ghātas tu jīvitām/ kulesu jātāh sarve sma vistīrņeşu mahatsu ca, anāryāḥ khalu yad bhītās tyaktvā vīryam pradhāvata/ vikatthanāni vo yāni yadā vai janasamsadi, tāni vah kva ca yatāni sodagrāni mahānti ca/bhīrupravādāh śrūyante yas tu jīvati dhikkṛtaḥ, mārgaḥ satpuruṣair juṣṭaḥ sevyatām tyajyatām bhayam/ śayāmahe vā nihatāḥ pṛthivyām alpajīvitāh, dusprāpam brahmalokam vā prāpnumo yudhi sūditāh, samprāpnuyāmah kīrtim vā nihatya śatrum āhave/ na kumbhakarṇaḥ kākutstham dṛṣṭvā jīvan gamiṣyati, dīpyamānam ivāsādya patamgo jvalanam yathā/ palāyanena coddistāh prānān rakṣāmahe vayam, ekena bahavo bhagnā yaśo nāśam gamişyati/ evam bruvāṇam tam śūram angadam kanakāngadam, dravamāṇās tato vākyam ūcuḥ śūravigarhitam/ kṛtam naḥ kadanam ghoram kumbhakarṇena rakṣasā, na sthānakālo gacchāmo dayitam iīvitam hi nah/ etāvad uktvā vacanam sarve te bheiire diśah bhīmam bhīmāksam āvāntam drstvā vānarayūthapāḥ/ dravamāṇās tu te vīrā angadena valīmukhāḥ, sāntvaiś ca bahumānaiś ca tataḥ sarve nivartitāh/ rṣabhaśarabhamaindadhūmranīlāḥ; kumudasuṣeṇagavākṣarambhatārā, dvividapanasavāyuputramukhyās; tvaritatarābhimukham raṇam prayātāh/

As soon as Kumbhakarna left the portals of Lankapuri, Vaanara samuha was frightened to the core and as the mountain like Maha Rakshasi had even lodt their consciousness. As the Vanaras were aghast, Vaanara Jyeshtha Angada addressed Nala, Neela, Gavaksha, Kumudaadi Vanara Shereshthas: Vaanara Veeraas! You are all originated from excellent origin and upbringing but behaving like ordinary monkeys! If this were to be so you might as well get back to kishkinda at once ad try to save your lives. You should realise that these so called Maha Rakshasaas do look frightening and massive but without the grit and power of endurance as they have 'mayaa swarupas' without the inner strength. Hence, be brave and get ready to fece the situation with robust and clenched fist and might. We the true vanara shreshthas with uprooted

maha vrikshas on shoulders and forceful flingings or in the art of 'dwandwa yuddha' are simply amazing and are capable of mindless totally bereft of mental acumen, perseverance and resolve. As per the timely exhortation of Angada, the rest of the Vaanara Veeraas alerted their own vaanar soldiers pulled up maha vrikshas and mountain boulders and encountered with renenewd resolve the mountain shaped Kumbhakarna, te nivrtya tu samkruddhāh kumbhakarnam yanaukasah, nijaghnuh paramakruddhāh samadā iva kuñjarāḥ, prāmśubhir giriśrngaiś ca śilābhiś ca mahābalāḥ/ pādapaiḥ puṣpitāgraiś ca hanyamāno na kampate, tasya gātresu patitā bhidyante satasah silāh, pādapāh puspitāgrās ca bhagnāh petur mahītale/ As the Vanara Shershthas attacked Kumbhakarna was hardly affected and made further simha garjanas. His chest, thighs, and firm footings were least affected by the incessant rains of maha vrikshas and boulderes proved ineffective as the rolled down to earth. Instead, he got further and further infuriated vengefully and kept on lifiting and devouring vanaras as a feastful 'swaadu bhojana' often gulping their blood. so 'pi sainyāni samkruddho vānarānām mahaujasām, mamantha paramāyatto vanāny agnir ivotthitaḥ/ lohitārdrās tu bahavaḥ śerate vānararṣabhāḥ, nirastāḥ patitā bhūmau tāmrapuspā iva drumāh/ laṅghayantah pradhāyanto vānarā nāvalokayan, ke cit samudre patitāh ke cid gaganam āśritāh/ vadhvamānās tu te vīrā rāksasena balīvasā, sāgaram vena te tīrnāh pathā tenaiva dudruvuh/ The entire scene at that time was like 'maha daavaanala' was spreading the mahaaranya to ashes. Numberless Vaanaras were struggling with death as crushd down to earth as their rakta naadis were burst off drenching their blood streams. The survinig vaanaraas scaled of the heaps of 'parvata seshas' and ran here and there for atma rakshana with scare and anxiety. Some ran to the sea shore either to drown in or fly off up the sky. As the Maha Raksasa was playful mischievously some spill over vanaras had even run towards Lankapuri too and running back again. te sthalāni tathā nimnam viṣannavadanā bhayāt, rkṣā vrkṣān samārūḍhāḥ ke cit parvatam āśritāḥ/ mamajjur arṇave ke cid guhāḥ ke cit samāśritāḥ, niseduh plavagāh ke cit ke cin naivāvatasthire/ tān samīkṣyāṅgado bhaṅgān vānarān idam abravīt, avatisthata yudhyāmo nivartadhvam plavamgamāh/As the frightened vaanaras thus running for self defence were looking pale and pastel looking heads down running to tree tops and mountain heights. The frightening scene at that time was of countless vanara bhallukas swimming in the sea, some tottering on parvata shikharaas, and some like living corpses. Then Angada screamed at the running away vaanaras for 'atma rakshana' and shouted: wait wait vanaras! United we will win and divided we die! Your families would put you to shame and the house wives keep insulting life long: bhīrupravādāḥ śrūyante yas tu jīvati dhikkrtaḥ, mārgaḥ satpuruṣair juṣṭaḥ sevyatām tyajyatām bhayam/ śayāmahe vā nihatāḥ prthivyām alpajīvitāh, dusprāpam brahmalokam vā prāpnumo yudhi sūditāh, samprāpnuyāmah kīrtim vā nihatya śatrum āhave/Those timid beings even of excellent family background are a deadloss on earth and try to follow the path of 'sadpurushas' of everlasting fame to the family. Timidity is worse than atmaarpana for the cause of vindication of dharma and nyaaya. Vaanaraas! When you fall down to earth, we should never be disgraced. Even as an 'alpajeevi' when fallen succumbed to death on a battte ground is directed to brahma loka for lasting happiness. Yet 'yuddha paraanmukhas' are distinctly denied access to either fame here or there but directed to naraka lokaas merely. etāvad uktvā vacanam sarve te bhejire diśah bhīmam bhīmāksam āvāntam drstvā vānaravūthapāh/ dravamānās tu te vīrā angadena valīmukhāh, sāntvaiś ca bahumānaiś ca tatah sarve nivartitāh/ rsabhaśarabhamaindadhūmranīlāh; kumuda susena gavākṣarambhatārā, dvividapanasavāyuputramukhyās; tvaritatarābhimukham raṇam prayātāḥ/ As Vaanara Yuva Raja addressed the vaarara yoddhhas who dispersed out of Kumbakarnas' fright and rallied them around him once again and waited for the instructions of Vanara King Sugriva. Then Vaanara Shresthas of supereior ranking like Rishabha, Sharabha, Mainda, Dhumra, Neela, Kumuda, Sushena, Gavaaksha Rambha, Taara, Dwivida, Panasa, and Hanuman mover forward to fave Maha Rakshasa Kumbhakarna.

Sarga Sixty Seven

<u>Displaying initial 'prataapa' against Angada, Sugriva and Hanuman, Kumbhakarna calling Lakshmana as 'baalaka' attacks Rama who had systematically slashed off his right and left shoulders and finally his head and body to the thrill of Vanaras and the dismay of Ravana and Rakshasaas</u>

Te nivrttā mahākāyāh śrutvāngadavacas tadā, naisthikīm buddhim āsthāya sarve samgrāmakānksinah/ samudīritavīryās te samāropitavikramāh,paryavasthāpitā vākyair angadena valīmukhāh/ prayātāś ca gatā harṣam maraṇe kṛtaniścayāḥ, cakruḥ sutumulam yuddham vānarās tyaktajīvitāḥ/ atha vṛkṣān mahākāyāh sānūni sumahānti ca, vānarās tūrnam udvamya kumbhakarnam abhidrayan/ sa kumbhakarnah samkruddho gadām udyamya vīryavān, ardayan sumahākāyah samantād vyākṣipad ripūn/ śatāni sapta cāṣṭau ca sahasrāṇi ca vānarāḥ, prakīrṇāḥ śerate bhūmau kumbhakarṇena pothitāḥ/ şodaśāṣṭau ca daśa ca viṁśat triṁśat tathaiva ca, parikṣipya ca bāhubhyāṁ khādan viparidhāvati, bhaksayan bhrśasamkruddho garudah pannagān iva/ hanūmāñ śailaśrngāni vrksāmś ca vividhān bahūn, vavarsa kumbhakarnasya śirasy ambaram āsthitah/ tāni parvataśrngāni śūlena tu bibheda ha, babhañja vṛkṣavarṣam ca kumbhakarno mahābalah/ tato harīnām tad anīkam ugram; dudrāva śūlam niśitam pragrhya, tasthau tato 'syāpatatah purastān mahīdharāgram hanumān pragrhya/ sa kumbhakarnam kupito jaghāna; vegena śailottamabhīmakāyam,sa cukṣubhe tena tadābhibūto; medārdragātro rudhirāvasiktaļ/ sa śūlam āvidhya taditprakāśam; girim yathā prajvalitāgrasrngam, bāhvantare mārutim ājaghāna; guho 'calam krauñcam iyograśaktyā/ sa śūlanirbhinna mahābhujāntarah; pravihvalah śoṇitam udvaman mukhāt, nanāda bhīmam hanumān mahāhave; yugāntameghastanitasvanopamam/tato vineduḥ sahasā prahṛṣṭā; rakṣogaṇās tam vyathitam samīkṣya, plavamgamās tu vyathitā bhayārtāḥ; pradudruvuh samyati kumbhakarnāt/ nīlaś ciksepa śailāgram kumbhakarnāya dhīmate, tam āpatantam sampreksya mustinābhijaghāna ha/ mustiprahārābhihatam tac chailāgram vyaśīryata, savisphulibghvngam sajvālam nipapāta mahītale/ rsabhah sarabho nīlo gavākso gandhamādanah, pañcavānaraśārdūlāḥ kumbhakarṇam upādravan/ śailair vṛkṣais talaiḥ pādair muṣṭibhiś ca mahābalāḥ, kumbhakarnam mahākāyam sarvato 'bhinijaghnire/ sparśān iva prahārāms tān vedayāno na vivyathe, rsabham tu mahāvegam bāhubhyām parisasvaje/ kumbhakarnabhujābhyām tu pīdito vānararsabhah, nipapātarsabho bhīmah pramukhāgataśonitah, mustinā śarabham hatvā jānunā nīlam āhave, ājaghāna gavāksam ca talenendrarīpus tadā./ dattapraharavyathitā mumuhuh śonitoksitāh, nipetus te tu medinyām nikrttā iva kimśukāh/ tesu vānaramukhyesu patitesu mahātmasu, vānarānām sahasrāni kumbhakarnam pradudruvuh/ tam śailam iva śailābhāh sarve tu plavagarşabhāh, samāruhya samutpatya dadamśuś ca mahābalāh/ tam nakhair daśanaiś cāpi mustibhir jānubhis tathā, kumbhakarnam mahākāyam te jaghnuh plavagarsabhāh/ sa vānarasahasrais tair ācitah parvatopamah, rarāja rāksasavvāghro girir ātmaruhair iva/ bāhubhyām vānarān sarvān pragrhya sa mahābalaḥ, bhakṣayām āsa samkruddho garuḍaḥ pannagān iva/ praksiptāh kumbhakarnena vaktre pātālasamnibhe, nāsā putābhyām nirjagmuh karnābhyām caiva vānarāh/ bhaksayan bhrśasamkruddho harīn parvatasamnibhah, babhañja vānarān sarvān samkruddho rāksasottamah/ māmsaśonitasamkledām bhūmim kurvan sa rāksasah, cacāra harisainyesu kālāgnir iva mūrchitah/ vajrahasto yathā śakrah pāśahasta ivāntakah, śūlahasto babhau tasmin kumbhakarno mahābalah/ yathā śuṣkāṇy araṇyāni grīṣme dahati pāvakah, tathā vānarasainyāni kumbhakarno vinirdahat/ tatas te vadhyamānās tu hatayūthā vināyakāḥ, vānarā bhayasamvignā vinedur visvaram bhṛśam/ anekaśo vadhyamānāḥ kumbhakarnena vānarāḥ, rāghavam śaraṇam jagmur vyathitāḥ khinnacetasah/ tam āpatantam sampreksya kumbhakarnam mahābalam, utpapāta tadā vīrah sugrīvo narādhipah/ sa parvatāgram utksipya samāvidhya mahākapih, abhidudrāva vegena kumbhakarnam mahābalam/ tam āpatantam samprekṣya kumbhakarṇaḥ plavamgamam, tasthau vivṛtasarvāngo vānarendrasya sammukhah/ kapiśonitadigdhāngam bhaksayantam mahākapīn, kumbhakarnam sthitam drstvā sugrīvo vākyam abravīt/ pātitāś ca tvayā vīrāh kṛtaṁ karma suduskaram, bhaksitāni ca sainyāni prāptam te paramam yaśah/ tyaja tad vānarānīkam prākrtaih kim karisyasi, sahasvaikam nipātam me parvatasyāsya rākṣasa/ tad vākyam harirājasya sattvadhairyasamanvitam,śrutvā rākṣasaśārdūlaḥ kumbhakarno 'bravīd vacaḥ/ prajāpates tu pautras tvam tathaivarkṣarajaḥsutaḥ,śrutapauruṣasampannas tasmād garjasi vānara/ sa kumbhakarņasya vaco niśamya; vyāvidhya śailam sahasā mumoca, tenājaghānorasi kumbhakarṇam; śailena vajrāśanisamnibhena/ tac chailaśrṅgam sahasā vikīrṇam; bhujāntare tasya tadā viśāle, tato viseduh sahasā plavamgamā; raksoganāś cāpi mudā vineduh/ sa śailaśrṅgābhihataś cukopa; nanāda kopāc ca vivrtya vaktram, vyāvidhya śūlaṁ ca taditprakāśaṁ; ciksepa haryrksapater vadhāya/ tat kumbhakarnasya bhujapraviddham; śūlam śitam kāñcanadāma justam, ksipram samutpatya nigrhya dorbhyām; babhañja vegena suto 'nilasya/ krtam bhārasahasrasya

śūlam kālāyasam mahat, babhañja janaum āropya prahrstah plavagarsabhah/ sa tat tadā bhagnam aveksya śūlam; cukopa rakso'dhipatir mahātmā, utpātya lankāmalayāt sa śrngam; jaghāna sugrīvam upetya tena/ sa śailaśṛṅgābhihato visamjñaḥ; papāta bhūmau yudhi vānarendraḥ, tam prekṣya bhūmau patitam visamjñam; neduh prahrstā yudhi yātudhānāh/ tam abhyupetyādbhutaghoravīryam; sa kumbhakarno yudhi yanarendram, jahara sugriyam abhipragrhya; yathanilo megham atipracandah/ sa tam mahāmeghanikāśarūpam; utpāţya gacchan yudhi kumbhakarṇaḥ, rarāja merupratimānarūpo; merur yathātyucchritaghorasrngah/ tatah samutpātya jagāma vīrah; samstūyamāno yudhi rākṣasendraiḥ, śṛṇvan ninādam tridaśālayānām; plavamgarājagrahavismitānām/ tatas tam ādāya tadā sa mene; harīndram indropamam indravīryah, asmin hrte sarvam idam hrtam syāt; sarāghavam sainyam itīndraśatruh/ vidrutām vāhinīm dṛstvā vānarānām tatas tatah, kumbhakarnena sugrīvam gṛhītam cāpi vānaram/ hanūmāmis cintayām āsa matimān mārutātmajah, evam grhīte sugrīve kim kartavyam mayā bhavet/ yad vai nyāyyam mayā kartum tat karisyāmi sarvathā, bhūtvā parvatasamkāśo nāśayisyāmi rākṣasam/ mayā hate samyati kumbhakarne; mahābale muṣṭiviśīrnadehe, vimocite vānarapārthive ca; bhavantu hṛṣṭāḥ pravagāḥ samagrāḥ/ atha vā svayam apy eṣa mokṣam prāpsyati pārthivaḥ, gṛhīto 'yam vadi bhayet tridasaih sāsuroragaih/ manye na tāyad ātmānam budhyate vānarādhipah, sailaprahārābhi hataḥ kumbhakarnena samyuge/ ayam muhūrtāt sugrīvo labdhasamjño mahāhave, ātmano vānarāṇām ca yat pathyam tat karişyati/ mayā tu mokṣitasyāsya sugrīvasya mahātmanaḥ, aprītaś ca bhavet kaṣṭā kīrtināśaś ca śāśvatah/ tasmān muhūrtam kāṅksisye vikramam pārthivasya nah, bhinnam ca vānarānīkam tāvad āśvāsayāmy aham/ ity evam cintayitvā tu hanūmān mārutātmajah, bhūyah samstambhayām āsa vānarāṇām mahācamūm/ sa kumbhakarṇo 'tha viveśa laṅkām; sphurantam ādāya mahāharim tam, vimānacaryāgrhagopurasthaih; puspāgryavarşair avakīryamāṇaḥ/ tatah sa saṃjñām upalabhya kṛcchrād; balīyasas tasya bhujāntarasthah, avekṣamānah purarājamārgam; vicintayām āsa muhur mahātmā/ evam grhītena katham nu nāma; śakyam mayā samprati kartum adya, tathā karisyāmi yathā harīṇām; bhaviṣyatīṣṭam ca hitam ca kāryam/ tataḥ karāgraiḥ sahasā sametya; rājā harīṇām amarendraśatroh, nakhaiś ca karnau daśanaiś ca nāsām; dadamśa pārśvesu ca kumbhakarnam/ sa kumbhakarnau hṛtakarnanāso; vidāritas tena vimarditas ca, rosābhibhūtah ksatajārdragātrah; sugrīvam āvidhya pipeṣa bhūmau/ sa bhūtale bhīmabalābhipiṣṭaḥ; surāribhis tair abhihanyamānaḥ,jagāma kham vegavad abhyupetya; punaś ca rāmena samājagāma/ karnanāsā vihīnasva kumbhakarno mahābalah, rarāja sonitotsikto girih prasravanair iva/ tatah sa puryāh sahasā mahātmā; niskramya tad vānarasainyam ugram, babhakṣa rakṣo yudhi kumbhakarṇaḥ; prajā yugāntāgnir iva pradīptaḥ/ bubhuksitah śonitamāmsagrdhnuh; praviśya tad vānarasainyam ugram, cakhāda raksāmsi harīn piśācān; rksāms ca mohād yudhi kumbhakarnah/ ekam dvau trīn bahūn kruddho vānarān saha rāksasaih, samādāyaikahastena praciksepa tvaran mukhe/ samprasravams tadā medah śonitam ca mahābalah, vadhyamāno nagendrāgrair bhaksayām āsa vānarān, te bhaksyamānā harayo rāmam jagmus tadā gatim/ tasmin kāle sumitrāyāḥ putraḥ parabalārdanaḥ, cakāra lakṣmanaḥ kruddho yuddham parapuramjayaḥ/ sa kumbhakarnasya śarāñ śarīre sapta vīryavān, nicakhānādade cānyān visasarja ca laksmaṇah/ atikramya ca saumitrim kumbhakarno mahābalah, rāmam evābhidudrāva dārayann iva medinīm/ atha dāśarathī rāmo raudram astram pravojavan, kumbhakarnasva hrdaye sasarja niśitāñ śarān/ tasya rāmena viddhasya sahasābhipradhāvataḥ, angāramiśrāḥ kruddhasya mukhān niścerur arciṣaḥ/ tasyorasi nimagnāś ca śarā barhiṇavāsasaḥ,hastāc cāsya paribhraṣṭā papātorvyām mahāgadā/ sa nirāyudham ātmānam yadā mene mahābalah, mustibhyām cāranābhyām ca cakāra kadanam mahat/ sa bānair atividdhāngah ksatajena samuksitah, rudhiram parisusrāva girih prasravanān iva/ sa tīvrena ca kopena rudhirena ca mūrchitah, vānarān rāksasān rksān khādan viparidhāvati/ tasmin kāle sa dharmātmā lakşmano rāmam abravīt, kumbhakarnavadhe yukto yogān parimṛśan bahūn/ naivāyam vānarān rājan na vijānāti rākṣasān, mattah śoṇitagandhena svān parāmś caiva khādati/ sādhv enam adhirohantu sarvato vānararşabhāh, yūthapāś ca yathāmukhyās tisthantv asya samantatah/ apy ayam durmatih kāle gurubhāraprapīditaḥ, prapatan rākṣaso bhūmau nānyān hanyāt plavamgamān/ tasya tadvacanam śrutvā rājaputrasya dhīmatah, te samāruruhur hṛstāh kumbhakarnam plavamgamāh/ kumbhakarnas tu samkruddhah samārūdhah plavamgamaih, vyadhūnayat tān vegena dustahastīva hastipān/ tān drstvā nirdhūtān rāmo ruṣṭo 'yam iti rākṣasaḥ, samutpapāta vegena dhanur uttamam ādade/ sa cāpam ādāya bhujamgakalpam; drdhajyam ugram tapanīyacitram, harīn samāśyāsya samutpapāta; rāmo

nibaddhottamatūnabānah/ sa vānaraganais tais tu vrtah paramadurjavah, laksmanānucaro rāmah sampratasthe mahābalah/ sa dadarśa mahātmānam kirītinam arimdamam, śonitāplutasarvāngam kumbhakarnam mahābalam/ sarvān samabhidhāvantam yathārustam diśā gajam, mārgamānam harīn kruddham rākṣasaiḥ parivāritam/ vindhyamandarasamkāśam kāncanāngadabhūṣanam, sravantam rudhiram vaktrād varsamegham ivotthitam/ jihvayā parilihvantam sonitam sonitoksitam, mrdnantam vānarānīkam kālāntakayamopamam/ tam drstvā rāksasasrestham pradīptānalavarcasam, visphārayām āsa tadā kārmukam puruṣarṣabhaḥ/ sa tasya cāpanirghoṣāt kupito nairṛtarṣabhaḥ, amṛṣyamāṇas tam ghosam abhidudrāva rāghavam, tatas tu vātoddhatameghakalpam; bhujamgarājottamabhogabāhum, tam āpatantam dharaṇīdharābham; uvāca rāmo yudhi kumbhakarṇam/ āgaccha rakṣo'dhipamā viṣādam; avasthito 'ham pragrhītacāpah, avehi mām śakrasapatna rāmam; ayam muhūrtād bhavitā vicetāh/ rāmo 'yam iti vijñāya jahāsa vikṛtasvanam, pātayann iva sarvesām hṛdayāni vanauka./ prahasya vikṛtam bhīmam sa meghasvanitopamam,kumbhakarno mahātejā rāghavam vākyam abravīt/ nāham virādho vijñeyo na kabandhaḥ kharo na ca, na vālī na ca mārīcaḥ kumbhakarṇo 'ham āgataḥ/ paśya me mudgaram ghoram sarvakālāyasam mahat, anena nirjitā devā dānavāś ca mayā purā/vikarṇanāsa iti mām nāvajñātum tvam arhasi, svalpāpi hi na me pīdā karnanāsāvināsanāt/ darsaveksvākusārdūla vīrvam gātreşu me laghu, tatas tvām bhakṣayiṣyāmi dṛṣṭapauruṣayikramam/ sa kumbhakarṇasya vaco niśamya; rāmaḥ supunkhān visasarja bāṇān, tair āhato vajrasamapravegair; na cukṣubhe na vyathate surāriḥ/ yaih sāyakaih sālavarā nikrttā; vālī hato vānarapumgavaś ca, te kumbhakarnasya tadā śarīram; vajropamā na vyathayām pracakruh/ sa vāridhārā iva sāyakāms tān; pibañ śarīrena mahendraśatruh, jaghāna rāmasya śarapravegam; vyāvidhya tam mudgaram ugravegam/ tatas tu rakṣaḥ kṣatajānuliptam; vitrāsanam devamahācamūnām, vyāvidhya tam mudgaram ugravegam; vidrāvayām āsa camūm harīṇām/ vāyavyam ādāya tato varāstram; rāmaḥ pracikṣepa niśācarāya, samudgaram tena jahāra bāhum; sa kṛttabāhus tumulam nanāda/ sa tasya bāhur giriśṛngakalpaḥ; samudgaro rāghavabāṇakṛttaḥ, papāta tasmin harirājasainye; jaghāna tām vānaravāhinīm ca/ te vānarā bhagnahatāvaśesāh; paryantam āśritya tadā visannāh, pravepitāngā dadršuh sughoram; narendrarakso'dhipasamnipātam/ sa kumbhakarno 'stranikṛttabāhur; mahān nikṛttāgra ivācalendraḥ, utpāṭayām āsa kareṇa vṛkṣaṁ; tato 'bhidudrāva raṇe narendram/ tam tasya bāhum saha sālavrkṣam; samudyatam pannagabhogakalpam, aindrāstrayuktena jahāra rāmo; bānena jāmbūnadacitritena/ sa kumbhakarnasva bhujo nikrttah; papāta bhūmau girisamnikāśah, vivestamāno nijaghāna vrksāñ; śailāñ śilāvānararāksasāmś ca/ tam chinnabāhum samavekṣya rāmaḥ; samāpatantam sahasā nadantam, dvāv ardhacandrau niśitau pragṛhya; ciccheda pādau yudhi rāksasasya/ nikrttabāhur vinikrttapādo; vidārya vaktram vadavāmukhābham, dudrāva rāmam sahasābhigarjan; rāhur yathā candram ivāntarikse/ apūrayat tasya mukham śitāgrai; rāmah śarair hemapinaddhapunkhaih, sa pūrnavaktro na śaśāka vaktum; cukūja krcchrena mumoha cāpi/ athādade sūryamarīcikalpam; sa brahmadandāntakakālakalpam, aristam aindram niśitam supunkham; rāmah śaram mārutatulyavegam/ tam vajrajāmbūnadacārupunkham; pradīptasūryajvalanaprakāśam, mahendravajrāśanitulyavegam; rāmah pracikṣepa niśācarāya/ sa sāyako rāghavabāhucodito; diśah svabhāsā daśa samprakāśayan, vidhūmavaiśvānaradīptadarśano; jagāma śakrāśanitulyavikramaļ/ sa tan mahāparvatakūtasamnibham; vivrttadamstram calacārukundalam, cakarta rakso'dhipateh śiras tadā; yathaiva vṛtrasya purā puramdaraḥ/ tad rāmabāṇābhihatam papāta; rakṣaḥśiraḥ parvatasamnikāśam, babhañja caryāgrhagopurāṇi; prākāram uccam tam apātayac ca/ tac cātikāyam himavatprakāśam; raksas tadā tovanidhau papāta, grāhān mahāmīnacayān bhujamgamān; mamarda bhūmim ca tathā viveśa/ tasmir hate brāhmanadevaśatrau; mahābale samyati kumbhakarne, cacāla bhūr bhūmidharāś ca sarve; harsāc ca devās tumulam praneduh/ tatas tu devarsimaharsipannagāh; surāś ca bhūtāni suparṇaguhyakāḥ, sayakṣagandharvagaṇā nabhogatāḥ; praharṣitā rāma parākrameṇa/ praharşam īyur bahavas tu vānarāḥ; prabuddhapadmapratimair ivānanaiḥ, apūjayan rāghavam iṣṭabhāginam; hate ripau bhīmabale durāsade/ sa kumbhakarnam surasainyamardanam; mahatsu yuddheşv aparājitaśramam, nananda hatvā bharatāgrajo raņe; mahāsuram vṛtram ivāmarādhipaḥ/

As exhorted by Angada's clarion call of do or die, Maha Vanara Sena returned after their flight of Kumbhakarna's mountainous figure and their determination and attacked the Rakshasa with their maha vrikshas and mountain rocks. Even as they attacked, there were some eight thousand and seven

'atmaarpanas' of the vanara bhalluka maha veeraas. Kumbhakarna lifted up dozens of the vanaraas on his mighty shoulders and hand grips and sucked their blood and marrow besides enjoyed their flesh spitting off their bones. Then 'megha samaana maha kaya' Vanara shiromani Dwivida pulled up a mountain and hurled at the Rakshasa even as the hordes of horses, elephants and even other rakshasaas were on the parvata shikhara were destroyed too. Then joined Veera Hanuman expanded his physique up to the high skies and hit Kumbhakarna mastaka with parvata shikharaas, maha shilaas and massive tree trunks. Maha Bali Kumbhakarna was enraged and lifted his 'maha shula' even as his head was split and his shoulders and arms flooded with blood. He revolved his 'shula' and hit hard the vakshathala of Hanuman like Kartika Swami hit thed krouncha parvata. That massive blow of the shula tore Hanuman's chest as the Rakshasaas near Kumbhakarna went berserk with cheers. On seeing this Balavaan Neela Maha Vaaara expanded his body build hurled a mountain as in response Kumbhakarna with his fist made pieces of the mountain as hurled. Then Rishaba, Sharabha, Neela, Gavasha, and Gandhamaadana the five Maha Vaanaras surrounded Kumbhakarna and attacked with maha vrikshaas, parvatas, massive body kicks, and so on. In response, the Mahasura caught hold of Rishabha and hit him so hard that his face was distorted and swooned down to the ground. He then grabbed hold of Neelas' knees and Gandhamadana's body and blustered them simultaneously. Angada too was stunned with his mushti ghaata and fell down to the ground. Having resisted and hit hard the Pancha Vaanara Yoddhhas besides Angada, Kumbhakarna resumed his pranks with other vaanaraas and ate them alive, sucked their blood, broke their body joints and tormented them as a child's play. Like Maha Garuda Deva would make a 'sarpaahaara' chased and caught hold ofhundreds of vanaraas and was gulping them alive with rage and vengeance. Like the greeshma ritu 'daayaanala' spreads with speed and ferocity all over the jungle, the Maha Rakshasa was devastating the vaanara sena as hordes of them ran to Shri Rama's raksha. Kumbhakarna then ran towards Sugriva and jumped high at him, yet Sugriva pulled up a parvata shikhara and hurled with force and speed. Then he addressed the Rakshasa: why are you tormenting and eating away 'saadhaarana vaararaas'; then came the reply: Vaanara! You are the Prajapati's poutra, Riksha Raja putra and of maha pourusha and bravery and that is how you are blabbering this way. As soon as the rakshasa stated thus, Sugriva smashed the maha vakshasthaala of the Rakshasa but having been hurt, the Rakshasa made simha garjanas and kept on revolving his mahaa loha shula thousands of time and got readied for Sugriva 'vadha'. Meanwhile Vaavu Putra Hanuman cut off the Rakshasa 'loha shula' to pieces as the surrounding vaanaraas hailed Hanuman with 'harsha naadaas'. Kumbhakarna the maha kaaya then got into fuming frenzy hit Sugriva down to earth as rakshasaas made 'harsha naadaas' now. Even as Kmbhakarna felt the pangs of hunger and drink once again and chased the vanaras for bhakshana and 'rakta paana'. Hanuman wondered as what ought to be the next 'takshana kartavya'. But meanwhile Sugriva recovered and reached Shri Rama Lakshmanas. tasmin kāle sumitrāyāh putrah parabalārdanah, cakāra laksmanah kruddho yuddham parapuramjayah/ sa kumbhakarnasya śarāñ śarīre sapta vīryavān, nicakhānādade cānyān visasarja ca lakṣmaṇaḥ/ atikramya ca saumitrim kumbhakarṇo mahābalaḥ, rāmam evābhidudrāva dārayann iva medinīm/Then the infuriated Lakshmana initiated attacking the rakshasaas. He also succeeded in hitting and piercing Kumbhakarna with seven arrows at a time. Then he picked up another arrow but the maha rakshasa made it futile. The enraged Lakshmama desired to attack him again and with his baana paramapara made the Rakshasa's kavacha was totally covered with baanaas yet heckled Lakshmana that even yamaraja too would hesitate in attacking me but you have displayed you veerata. Sumitra nandana, you are a baala veera and made my happy with your spirit of adventure. Lakshmana replied: Veera Kumbhakarna! I too appreciate that even Indra and Devatas would hesitate to face you and I have truly witnessed your paraakrama. But here is Dasharatha Nandana Shri Rama by my side who like a parvata is coolly composed like a himaalaya. Then mahabali nishaachara Kumbhakarna left Lakshmana and attacked Shri Rama straight away by thumping his feet. atha dāśarathī rāmo raudram astram prayojayan, kumbhakarnasya hṛdaye sasarja niśitāñ śarān/ tasya rāmena viddhasya sahasābhipradhāvatah, angāramiśrāh kruddhasya mukhān niścerur arcisah/ tasyorasi nimagnāś ca śarā barhinavāsasah, hastāc cāsya paribhrastā papātorvyām mahāgadā/ sa nirāyudham ātmānam yadā mene mahābalah, muştibhyām cāranābhyām ca cakāra kadanam mahat/ Then Shri Rama initiated his baana varsha with Roudraastra prayoga aimed at kumbhakarna's heart. Badly hurt Kumbhakarna as his face was

like agni jwaalaas and having made a maha garjana as if he was chasing vaanara veeraas earlier and sought to attack Rama. Shri Rama banaas were attacked with 'mantrapurva' peacock feathers pierced through Kumbhakarna's chest and even holding his powerful mace in his hands fell down to dust. sa bāṇair atividdhāṅgaḥ kṣatajena samukṣitaḥ, rudhiram parisusrāva giriḥ prasravaṇān iva/ sa tīvreṇa ca kopena rudhirena ca mūrchitah, vānarān rāksasān rksān khādan viparidhāvati/ tasmin kāle sa dharmātmā lakṣmano rāmam abravīt, kumbhakarnavadhe yukto yogān parimṛśan bahūn/ naivāyam vānarān rājan na vijānāti rākṣasān, mattaḥ śonitagandhena svān parāms caiva khādati/ With Rama baana praharaas Kumbhakarna's body parts were cracked up and flows of his blood emerged out instantly. Then having got up he ran hither and thither amuck with rage and chasing vaanara bhallukas and eating them away too. That was time when Lakshmana addressed Shri Rama expressed his views as to what could be the best and ideal pattern of killing Kumbhakarna. Maha Raja Shri Rama! This Maha Rakshasa appears to be fast losing his memory power and is unable to distinguish as to who are vaanaraas or rakshasaas and is killing and eating them away simultaneously. sādhv enam adhirohantu sarvato vānararsabhāh, vūthapāś ca vathāmukhvās tisthantv asva samantatah/ apv ayam durmatih kāle gurubhāraprapīditah, prapatan rāksaso bhūmau nānyān hanyāt playamgamān/ tasya tadvacanam śrutvā rājaputrasya dhīmataḥ, te samāruruhur hṛṣṭāḥ kumbhakarṇam plavamgamāḥ/ kumbhakarṇas tu samkruddhah samārūdhah plavamgamaih, vyadhūnayat tān vegena dustahastīva hastipān/ Meanwhile several shreshtha vaanara veeraas were attacking him and were even seated on his shoulders and as such could Kumbhakarna then bear it! As Lakshmana was making interesting remarks on then the Maha Rakshasa, the vaanara veeraa were delighted and immensely relieved away with relief. But, suddenly Kumbhakarna broke into rage, shook of his body as vaanaras clinging to his body fell down. tān drstvā nirdhūtān rāmo rusto 'yam iti rākṣasah, samutpapāta vegena dhanur uttamam ādade/ sa cāpam ādāya bhujamgakalpam; drdhajyam ugram tapanīyacitram, harīn samāśvāsya samutpapāta; rāmo nibaddhottamatūnabānah/ sa vānaraganais tais tu vṛtah paramadurjayah, laksmanānucaro rāmah sampratasthe mahābalah/ As the Maharakshasa did so, Shri Rama understood that Kumbhakarna was now ready to attack again and lifted his 'dhanush baanaas' readied. The Rakshasha gave such a nasty and ferocius look as if he were to burn him down to ashes. Then witnessing the on going development, the vanara sena took to clapping and harsha nadaas to encourage Shri Rama. The durjaya vaanara samuha headed by Laksmanana followed him. sa dadarśa mahātmānam kirītinam arimdamam, śoṇitāplutasarvāngam kumbhakarṇam mahābalam/ sarvān samabhidhāvantam yathāruṣṭam diśā gajam, mārgamānam harīn kruddham rāksasaih parivāritam/vindhyamandarasamkāśam kāñcanāṅgadabhūsanam, sravantaṁ rudhiraṁ vaktrād varsamegham ivotthitam/Kumbhakarna then wearing his glittering kireeta was then getting ready to attack Shri Rama aven as he was looking for vanaras nearby angrily. Even as his damaged physical parts were dripping with blood streams, the Rakshasa was looking like Vindhya Mandharaachalaas and was ornamented with glittering bhuja keerti ornaments as though 'varsha kaala megha jala varshas' with lightnings would. jihvayā parilihyantam śonitam śonitoksitam, mrdnantam vānarānīkam kālāntakayamopamam/ tam drstvā rāksasaśrestham pradīptānalavarcasam, visphāravām āsa tadā kārmukam purusarsabhah/sa tasva cāpanirghosāt kupito nairrtarsabhah, amrsyamānas tam ghosam abhidudrāva rāghavam/ As Kumbhakarna's tongue was emitting rakta dhaaraas, his cheeks were swollen like pralaya kaala yamaraja was ever seeking to hunt vaanaras. Then Shri Rama too like 'prajjvalita agni' sounded his 'dhanush thankaara' looking only at the Maha Rakshasa even while ran after Raghunadha.

[Additional Stanzas of Valmiki Ramayana in this very context appeared elsewhere about Kumbhakarna-Vibhishana samvaada and the essence as follows:

With a view to witness the Kumbhakarna's disastrous end by Shri Rama, the Maha Rakshass sighted his younger brother Vibhishana and conversed as follows: 'Vatsa! You have discarded the elder brother Ravana and appoached Shri Rama and aspire fot the kingship of Lanka Samrajya!' Vishishana replied: 'Brother, you too are from the same family of Rakshasaas; but my leanings to Dharma Nyaayas are apparently different. Despite my repeated prostrations to return to 'sanmaarga', Ravana did not relent to

do so and hence sought for Shri Rama 'sharana' and hence in the other side of the fence!' Then there were tears rolling Kumbhakarna's cheeks.]

Further stanzas continued: tatas tu vātoddhatameghakalpam; bhujamgarājottamabhogabāhum, tam āpatantam dharanīdharābham; uvāca rāmo yudhi kumbhakarnam/ āgaccha rakso'dhipamā visādam; avasthito 'ham pragṛhītacāpaḥ, avehi mām śakrasapatna rāmam; ayam muhūrtād bhavitā vicetāḥ/ rāmo 'yam iti vijñāya jahāsa vikrtasvanam, pātayann iva sarvesām hrdayāni vanauka./ prahasya vikrtam bhīmam sa megha -svanitopamam,kumbhakarno mahātejā rāghavam vākyam abravīt/ Subsequently, Kumbhakarna's shoulders were broad like Vaasuki maha sarpa of Deva Danava Samudra Mathana fame and aiming at them Bhagavan Shri Rama like pavana prerita meghas seek to attack parvata shikhira like Kumbakarna addressed Kumbhakarana as follows: 'Rakshasa Raja! Come now; don't you worry, I an ready with my dhanush baanaas. Do think deeply, I am here for Rakshasa Vamsha Vinaashana. Now within just a few minutes later should occur your senselessess'. In response, Kumbhakarna made a megha garjana and screamed in high pitch: RAMO ITI! 'This is Rama' while the vaanaraas were tuly scared running rattled. Then Kumbhakarna yelled at Rama: nāham virādho vijñevo na kabandhah kharo na ca, na vālī na ca mārīcaḥ kumbhakarṇo 'ham āgataḥ/ paśya me mudgaram ghoram sarvakālāyasam mahat, anena nirjitā devā dānavāś ca mayā purā/ vikarņanāsa iti mām nāvajñātum tvam arhasi, svalpāpi hi na me pīdā karnanāsāvināśanāt/ darśayeksvākuśārdūla vīryam gātresu me laghu, tatas tvām bhaksayisyāmi dṛstapaurusayikramam/Rama! Do not underestimate me as Viraatha, or Kabandha or Khara; not Maarichi or Vaali; remember that you are challenging Kumbhakarna! Look at my bhayankaravishaala-mudgara! This was made of all the 'lohas' burnt into one wholesome. This was what was utilised by me to humble Deva Danavas in a series of encounters. No doubt my nose and ears were severed and that need not be considered as your great victory and the absence of there body parts need not be your great victory. Raghu nandana! If you are a maha veera purusha of Ikshvaaku vamsha, then try to harm by grand physique lest I should devour you sraight! sa kumbhakarnasya vaco niśamya; rāmah supunkhān visasarja bānān, tair āhato vajrasamapravegair; na cuksubhe na vyathate surārih/ yaih sāyakaih sālavarā nikṛttā; vālī hato vānarapumgavas ca, te kumbhakarṇasya tadā sarīram; vajropamā na vvathayām pracakruh/ sa vāridhārā iva sāvakāms tān; pibañ sarīrena mahendrasatruh, jaghāna rāmasya sarapravegam; vyāvidhya tam mudgaram ugravegam/ On hearing the desperate screamings and helpless jibes, Shri Rama with his characteristic smile initiated 'sundara pankha baanaas' but those arrowes could hardly prove effective. It was those very similar arrows with which Saala Vriksha Range as pointed by Sugriva to test Rama's ability as also of maha balik Vaali vatha was done way back had failed to harm Kumbhakarna! Indeed Deva Raja Indra Shatru Kumbhakarna was receiving baana paramara but kept on revolving his maha mudgara severely. tatas tu raksah ksatajānuliptam; vitrāsanam devamahācamūnām, vyāvidhya tam mudgaram ugravegam; vidrāvayām āsa camūm harīṇām/ vāyavyam ādāya tato varāstram; rāmah pracikṣepa niśācarāya, samudgaram tena jahāra bāhum; sa kṛttabāhus tumulam nanāda/ sa tasya bāhur giriśrngakalpah; samudgaro rāghavabāṇakrttah, papāta tasmin harirājasainye; jaghāna tām vānaravāhinīm ca/ te vānarā bhagnahatāvaśesāh; parvantam āśritva tadā visannāh, pravepitāngā dadrśuh sughoram; narendrarakso'dhipasamnipātam/ With such alarming speed of the 'mudgara praghata' countless vanara soldiers too were either killed or severed of their body parts. On noticing the ineffectiveness of the erstwhile baana varasha, Rama utilised 'vayavyastra' by which Kumbhakarna's right hand and shouder fell as severed, as the Rakshasa raised bhayanaka 'cheetkaara'. This right hand that fell down looked as if maha parvaata shikhara along with the mudgara too secerely damaging the vaanara sena around as many of them were crushed to death, while those vanaras who were able to witness the fall of the rakshasa's severed hand were saved of their lives. sa kumbhakarno 'stranikṛttabāhur; mahān nikṛttāgra ivācalendrah, utpāṭayām āsa kareṇa vṛkṣaṁ; tato 'bhidudrāva rane narendram/ tam tasya bāhum saha sālavrkṣam; samudyatam pannagabhogakalpam, aindrāstrayuktena jahāra rāmo; bānena jāmbūnadacitritena/ sa kumbhakarnasya bhujo nikṛttah; papāta bhūmau girisamnikāsah, vivestamāno nijaghāna vṛksāñ; sailāñ silāvānararāksasāms ca/ tam chinnabāhum samaveksya rāmah; samāpatantam sahasā nadantam, dvāv ardhacandrau niśitau pragrhya; ciccheda pādau vudhi rāksasasva/As the 'vayavastra prayoga' by Shri Rama fell down, Kumbhakarna still made a

desperate attempt against Rama with his left handed pull out of a maha vriksha, but alas, Shri Rama having anticipated the Rakshasa's desperate move, performed the 'abhimantra' of Aindravaastra and Kumbharana's left hand too fell down with the maha vrisha too therewith. Forthwith, the Vaanaraas and Rakshasaas surrounding Kumbhakarna ran away to save theit bodies and souls. As both the hands were severed the artanadaas of both vanarasa and rakshasaas who were crushed, the remnant Rakshasaas had either run away or started a killing spree of vanaras. nikṛttabāhur vinikṛttapādo; vidārya vaktram vaḍavāmukhābham, dudrāva rāmam sahasābhigarjan; rāhur yathā candram ivāntarikṣe/ apūrayat tasya mukham śitāgrai; rāmaḥ śarair hemapinaddhapunkhaiḥ, sa pūrṇavaktro na śaśāka vaktum; cukūja kṛcchreṇa mumoha cāpi/ athādade sūryamarīcikalpam; sa brahmadaṇḍāntakakālakalpam, ariṣṭam aindram niśitam supunkham; rāmaḥ śaram mārutatulyavegam/ As both the hands and feet were severed by the Rama banaas, Maha Rakshasa Kumbhakarna expanded his badabaagni samaana vikaraala mukha like Rahu devoured Chandra Deva at the time of the Lunar Eclipse and managed to jump off attacking Shri Rana with helpless desperation. But Shri Rama pumped in his 'baana pravaha' right into the wide opened 'maha mukha' as the 'grand finale' while the totally helpless Kumbhakarna shrieked a 'mahaardanaada' and fainted. tam vajrajāmbūnadacārupunkham;

pradīptasūryajvalanaprakāśam,mahendravajrāśanitulyavegam; rāmaḥ pracikṣepa niśācarāya/ sa sāyako rāghavabāhucodito; diśaḥ svabhāsā daśa saṃprakāśayan, vidhūmavaiśvānaradīptadarśano; jagāma śakrāśanitulyavikramaḥ/ sa tan mahāparvatakūṭasaṃnibhaṃ; vivṛttadaṃṣṭraṃ calacārukuṇḍalam, cakarta rakṣo'dhipateḥ śiras tadā; yathaiva vṛtrasya purā puraṃdaraḥ/Then Sri Rama released a Kaala samaana bhayankara Vaayu-Indra vajraastra. The resplendency of this combination most potent astras was such as 'dasa dishas' were filled up smokeless fire balls most difficult to glance even by Devas. As in the days of yore Devaraja Indra attacked Vritraasura, Rama Baana impacted Kumbhakarna's 'parvata shikhara samana mastaka' was shattered and crashed down with a thud.

[Repeat Vishleshana on Indra's killing Vritraasura from Essence of Valmiki Kishkindha Ramayana:

Prajapati Visvakarma, the famed Architect of Devas, had a son named Trisira or the three headed Brahmana boy who used to practise ascetism with one head, drink wine with another and look around in all directions with the third. Being an ardent student of Vedas, he was always engaged in severe Tapasya, especially 'Panchagni Sadhana' hanging upside down a tree branch exposed to Summer Sun, winter cold and heavy rainy season without food conquering worldly desires. Being highly suspicious of the intentions of Trisira who might pose problem his own throne, Indra despatched Apsarasas to disturb Trisira's rigorous meditation but to no avail. Indra thus killed him even when he was in meditation, even as he knew that killing a pious Brahmana in meditation was the highest possible sin. Furious with Indra's dreadful deed, Visvakarma performed an inexorable Sacrifice by 'Abhichara' process (taking revenge) reciting Atharva Veda Mantras, created a mountain like and ferocious boy with the sole objective of killing Indra. The huge boy was named Vritra or who could save his father as Vrinjina. Visvakarma equipped him with all kinds of war tactics and divine armoury including a swift and sturdy Chariot, a 'Sudarshan' like Disc, and a'Trisula' like spear. As Vritra grew, Indra was getting nervous and approached Deva Guru to prevent any risk from the Demon. Brihaspati warned Indra that he should better be prepared for a Big Battle as the forebodings were not conducive. He advised that he along with Devas might request Dadhichi Maha Muni to spare his backbone which meant the Muni's sacrificing his life to serve a deva karya; Dadhichi obliged and Devata's architect Vishvakarma made a thunderbolt like 'vajraayudha' with the help of which Vrtrasura was killed]

Further Stanzas continued: tad rāmabāṇābhihatam papāta; rakṣaḥśiraḥ parvatasamnikāśam, babhañja caryāgṛhagopurāṇi; prākāram uccam tam apātayac ca/ tac cātikāyam himavatprakāśam; rakṣas tadā toyanidhau papāta, grāhān mahāmīnacayān bhujamgamān; mamarda bhūmim ca tathā viveśa/ tasmir hate brāhmaṇadevaśatrau; mahābale samyati kumbhakarṇe, cacāla bhūr bhūmidharāś ca sarve; harṣāc ca devās tumulam praṇeduḥ/ Then the Maha Rakshasa Kumbhakarna's parvataakaara mastaka rolled off right into Lankapuri, its streets, houses, gates, praakaaraas and finally rested on the ground. His severed

himalaya mountain like body too rolled off right into the Maha Samudra as foof festival for maha matsyas, crocodiles, maha sarpas. As Maha Bali Kumbhakarna the brahmana-deva gana mahashatru died, there were earth tremors, parvatas were shaken. tatas tu devarṣimaharṣipannagāḥ; surāś ca bhūtāni suparṇaguhyakāḥ, sayakṣagandharvagaṇā nabhogatāḥ; praharṣitā rāma parākrameṇa/ praharṣam īyur bahavas tu vānarāḥ; prabuddhapadmapratimair ivānanaiḥ, apūjayan rāghavam iṣṭabhāginam; hate ripau bhīmabale durāsade/ Then there was a celestail vision of sky with the applauses of Devashi, Maharshi, Maha Sarpa, Devata, Bhutagana, Garuda, Guhyaka, Yaksha, Gandarvaganas looked at Rama with blessings. Bhayaanaka balashaali shatru's durmarana gave such immense relief and paramaananda to the vaanara sena whose 'ananda bashpaas' rolled down their rosy cheeks with unending gratitude to the Yuga Purusha Shri Rama.

Sarga Sixty Eight

On hearing the unbelievable and tragic end of Veera Kumbhakarna, Ravana was stunned and as his sons and their cousins broke down; he realised the retributive impact of his criminal deeds but now too late!

Kumbhakarṇam hatam dṛṣṭvā rāghaveṇa mahātmanā, rākṣasā rākṣasendrāya rāvaṇāya nyavedayan/ śrutyā vinihatam samkhye kumbhakarnam mahābalam, rāyanah śokasamtapto mumoha ca papāta ca/ pitrvyam nihatam śrutvā devāntakanarāntakau, triśirāś cātikāyaś ca ruruduḥ śokapīḍitāḥ/ bhrātaram nihatam śrutvā rāmeṇākliṣṭakarmaṇā,mahodaramahāpārśvau śokākrāntau babhūvatuḥ/ tataḥ kṛcchrāt samāsādva samiñām rāksasapumgavah,kumbhakarnavadhād dīno vilalāpa sa rāvanah/ hā vīra ripudarpaghna kumbhakarna mahābala, śatrusainyam pratāpyaikah kva mām samtyajya gacchasi/ idānīm khalv aham nāsmi yasya me patito bhujaḥ, dakṣiṇo yam samāśritya na bibhemi surāsurān/ katham evamvidho vīro devadānavadarpahā, kālāgnipratimo hy adya rāghavena rane hatah/ yasya te vajranispeso na kuryād vyasanam sadā, sa katham rāmabānārtah prasupto 'si mahītale/ ete devaganāh sārdham rsibhir gagane sthitāh, nihatam tvām rane drstvā ninadanti praharsitāh/ dhruvam adyaiva samhrstā labdhalakṣyāḥ plavamgamāḥ, ārokṣyantīha durgāṇi lankādvārāṇi sarvaśaḥ/ rājyena nāsti me kāryam kim karisyāmi sītayā, kumbhakarṇavihīnasya jīvite nāsti me ratiḥ/ yady aham bhrātrhantāram na hanmi vudhi rāghavam, nanu me maranam śrevo na cedam vyarthajīvitam/ advaiva tam gamisvāmi deśam yatrānujo mama, na hi bhrātīn samutsrjya kṣaṇam jīvitum utsahe/ devā hi mām hasiṣyanti dṛṣṭvā pūrvāpakārinam, katham indram javisvāmi kumbhakarnahate tvavi/ tad idam mām anuprāptam vibhīsanavacah śubham, yad ajñānān mayā tasya na grhītam mahātmanah vibhīsanavaco yāvat kumbhakarnaprahastayoh, vināśo 'yam samutpanno mām vrīdayati dārunah/ tasyāyam karmanah prāto vipāko mama śokadah, yan mayā dhārmikah śrīmān sa nirasto vibhīsanah/ iti bahuvidham ākulāntarātmā; krpanam atīva vilapya kumbhakarnam, nyapatad atha daśānano bhrśārtas; tam anujam indraripum hatam viditvā/

Rakshasas who returned from the battle grounds approached King Ravanasasura and gave a detailed picture of the tragic conclusion of Kumbhakarna's glory. Maha Raja! In the bhayankara sangrama, Kaala samaana maha parakrami Kumbhakarna resorted to vaanara bhakshana but finally collapsed by 'Rama baana parampara'. For a couple of hours Kumbhakarna attaacked Vaanara Veeraas but eventually Rama slashed off half of his body and his head separately. Ravana heard the details likewise and was drowned deep in the shoka samudra. So were the Ravana Putras named Devantaka, Narantaka, Trishira and Atikaya besides the cousin brothers Mahodara and Maha kaaya. They had collectively cried shouting hoarse: katham evamvidho vīro devadānavadarpahā, kālāgnipratimo hy adya rāghaveṇa raṇe hataḥ/yasya te vajraniṣpeṣo na kuryād vyasanam sadā, sa katham rāmabāṇārtaḥ prasupto 'si mahītale/ Then Ravana broke out and cried! How indeed the Maha Rakshasa Veera Kumbhakarna who supressed Deva Danavas like kaalaagni had now got slain by Manava Shri Rama unbelievably now! And how indeed being a 'chiranjeevi' being a vajya kaaya is lying as 'nirjeevi'lyong on bare earth! Surely now, Deva Rishis must be celebrating his deadly fall and surely again the 'harshollaasa' vaanaras must be shouting

joyfully at Lankapuri dwaaraas! rājyena nāsti me kāryam kim karisyāmi sītayā, kumbhakarnavihīnasya jīvite nāsti me ratiḥ/ yady aham bhrātrhantāram na hanmi yudhi rāghavam, nanu me maraṇam śreyo na cedam vyarthajīvitam/ adyaiva tam gamişyāmi deśam yatrānujo mama, na hi bhrātīn samutsrjya kṣaṇam jīvitum utsahe/ Of which avail is this Maha Samrajya; of which use even if Sita surrenders to me now without the dearmost brother Kumbhakarna! Now if in this battle instead of Rama's killing by brother, he could have killed me instead! I should now go to the same place where by dear brother has gone to as I would not be alive at this place any further. devā hi mām hasişyanti dṛṣṭvā pūrvāpakāriṇam, katham indram jayişyāmi kumbhakarnahate tvayi/ tad idam mām anuprāptam vibhīṣanavacaḥ śubham, yad ajñānān mayā tasya na grhītam mahātmanah vibhīsanavaco yāvat kumbhakarnaprahastayoh, vināso 'yaṁ samutpanno māṁ vrīdayati dārunah/ tasyāyaṁ karmanah prāto vipāko mama śokadah, yan mayā dhārmikah śrīmān sa nirasto vibhīsanah/ In the past I did torment Devas and now they would heckle at me. Ha Kumbhkarna! As you have since left me, how could indeed face Indra in a battle.I had never heeded the helpful 'hita bodha' of Mahatma Vibhishana and now facing this disaster now! Now I am ashamed of my arrogance and let Vibhishana go away to the protection of Rama and now the 'shoka parimana'after placing my hands in flames!' Thus Maha Ravana kept on crying too late but like an onslaught of flood!

Sarga Sixty Nine

As Ravana felt the never dreamt of Kumbhakarna's fall, Trishira cooled down his anguish while Ravana Putras and cousin kumaras readied yet Narakantaka too resisted so much as Angada removed him dead.

Evam vilapamānasya rāvaṇasya durātmanaḥ, śrutvā śokābhitaptasya triśirā vākyam abravīt/ evam eva mahāvīryo hato nas tāta madhyamah, na tu satpurusā rājan vilapanti yathā bhavān/ nūnam tribhuvanasyāpi paryāptas tvam asi prabho, sa kasmāt prākṛta iva śokasyātmānam īdrśam/ brahmadattāsti te śaktih kavacah sāvako dhanuh, sahasrakharasamyukto ratho meghasamasvanah/ tvayāsakṛd viśastreṇa viśastā devadānavāh, sa sarvāyudhasampanno rāghavam śāstum arhasi/ kāmam tistha mahārājanirgamisyāmy aham raṇam, uddharisyāmi te śatrūn garuḍaḥ pannagān iha/ śambaro devarājena narako visnunā vathā, tathādva śavitā rāmo mavā vudhi nipātitah/ śrutvā triśiraso vākvam rāvaņo rākṣasādhipaḥ, punar jātam ivātmānam manyate kālacoditaḥ/śrutvā triśiraso vākyam devāntakanarāntakau, atikāyaś ca tejasvī babhūvur yuddhaharsitāh/ tato 'ham aham ity evam garjanto nairrtarsabhāh, rāvanasya sutā vīrāh śakratulyaparākramāh/ antariksacarāh sarve sarve māyā viśāradāh, sarve tridaśadarpaghnāh sarve ca ranadurmadāh/ sarve 'strabalasampannāh sarve vistīrna kīrtayah, sarve samaram āsādya na śrūyante sma nirjitāh/ sarve 'straviduso vīrāh sarve yuddhaviśāradāḥ, sarve pravarajijñānāḥ sarve labdhavarās tathā/ sa tais tathā bhāskaratulyavarcasaiḥ; sutair vṛtaḥ śatrubalapramardanaiḥ, rarāja rājā maghavān yathāmarair; vṛto mahādānavadarpanāśanaih/ sa putrān samparisvajya bhūsayitvā ca bhūsanaih, āśīrbhiś ca praśastābhih presayām āsa saṃyuge/ mahodaramahāpārśvau bhrātarau cāpi rāvanah, raksanārtham kumārānām preşayām āsa samyuge/ te 'bhivādya mahātmānam rāvaṇam ripurāvaṇam, krtvā pradakṣiṇam caiva mahākāyāḥ pratasthire/ sarvauṣadhībhir gandhaiś ca samālabhya mahābalāḥ, nirjagmur nairṛtaśreṣṭhāḥ sad ete yuddhakānksinah/ tatah sudarśanam nāma nīlajīmūtasamnibham, airāvatakule jātam āruroha mahodarah/ sarvāyudhasamāyuktam tūnībhis ca svalamkṛtam, rarāja gajam āsthāya savitevāstamūrdhani/ hayottamasamāyuktam sarvāyudhasamākulam, āruroha rathaśrestham triśirā rāvaṇātmajaḥ/ triśirā ratham āsthāya virarāja dhanurdharaḥ, savidyudulkaḥ sajvālaḥ sendracāpa ivāmbudaļ/ tribhiḥ kirīṭais triśirāḥ śuśubhe sa rathottame, himavān iva śailendras tribhiḥ kāñcanaparvataih/ atikāyo 'pi tejasvī rākṣasendrasutas tadā, āruroha rathaśreṣṭhaṁ śreṣṭhaḥ sarvadhanuşmatām/ sucakrākṣam susamyuktam sānukarṣam sakūbaram, tūṇībāṇāsanair dīptam prāsāsi parighākulam/ sa kāñcanavicitrena kirītena virājatā, bhūsanais ca babhau meruh prabhābhir iva bhāsvarah/ sa rarāja rathe tasmin rājasūnur mahābalah, vṛto nairṛtaśārdūlair vajrapānir ivāmaraih/ hayam uccaiḥśravaḥ prakhyam śvetam kanakabhūṣaṇam,manojavam mahākāyam āruroha narāntakaḥ/ grhītvā prāsam uklābham virarāja narāntakah, śaktim ādāya tejasvī guhah śatrusv ivāhave/ devāntakah

samādāya parigham vajrabhūsanam, parigrhya girim dorbhyām vapur visnor vidambayan/ mahāpārśvo mahātejā gadām ādāya vīryavān, virarāja gadāpāṇiḥ kubera iva samyuge/ te pratasthur mahātmāno balair apratimair vṛtāh, surā ivāmarāvatyām balair apratimair vṛtāh/ tān gajaiś ca turamgaiś ca rathaiś cāmbudanisvanaiḥ, anujagmur mahātmāno rākṣasāḥ pravarāyudhāḥ/ te virejur mahātmāno kumārāḥ sūryayarcasah, kirītinah śriyā justā grahā dīptā iyāmbare/ pragrhītā babhau tesām chatrānām āyalih sitā, śāradābhrapratīkāśām hamsāvalir ivāmbare/ maranam vāpi niścitya śatrūṇām vā parājayam, iti kṛtvā matim vīrā nirjagmuḥ samyugārthinaḥ/ jagarjuś ca praṇeduś ca cikṣipuś cāpi sāyakān, jahṛṣuś ca mahātmāno nirvānto vuddhadurmadāh/ ksveditāsphotaninadaih samcacāleva medinī, raksasām simhanādais ca pusphoṭeva tadāmbaram/ te 'bhiniṣkramya muditā rākṣasendrā mahābalāḥ, dadṛśur vānarānīkam samudyataśilānagam/ harayo 'pi mahātmāno dadṛśur nairṛtam balam, hastyaśvaratha sambādham kinkinīśatanāditam/ nīlajīmūtasamkāśam samudyatamahāyudham, dīptānalaraviprakhyair nairrtaih sarvato vṛtam/ tad dṛstvā balam āyāntam labdhalaksyāh plavamgamāh, samudyatamahāśailāh sampranedur muhur muhuh/ tatah samudghustaravam nisamya; raksoganā vānarayūthapānām, amrsyamānāh paraharsam ugram; mahābalā bhīmataram vineduh/ te rāksasabalam ghoram praviśya hariyūthapāh, vicerur udvataih śailair nagāh śikharino vathā/ ke cid ākāśam āviśya ke cid urvyām plavamgamāḥ, rakṣaḥsainyeṣu samkruddhāś cerur drumaśilāyudhāḥ/ te pādapaśilāśailaiś cakrur vṛṣṭim anuttamām, bāṇaughair vāryamāṇāś ca harayo bhīmavikramāḥ/simhanādān vineduś ca raṇe rāksasavānarāh, śilābhiś cūrnayām āsur yātudhānān plavamgamāh/ nijaghnuh samyuge kruddhāh kavacābharanāvṛtān, ke cid rathagatān vīrān gajavājigatān api/ nijaghnuh sahasāplutya yātudhānān plavamgamāḥ, śailaśṛṅganipātaiś ca mustibhir vāntalocanāḥ, celuh petuś ca neduś ca tatra rākṣasapumgavāḥ/ tataḥ śailaiś ca khaḍgaiś ca viṣṛṣṭair harirākṣasaiḥ, muhūrtenāvṛṭā bhūmir abhavac chonitāplutā/ vikīrņaparvatākārai rakşobhir arimardanaih, ākṣiptāh kṣipyamāṇāś ca bhagnaśūlāś ca vānaraiḥ/ vānarān vānarair eva jagnus te rajanīcarāḥ, rākṣasān rākṣasair eva jaghnus te vānarā api/ āksipya ca śilās tesām nijaghnū rāksasā harīn, tesām cācchidya śastrāni jaghnū raksāmsi vānarāh/ nijaghnuh śailaśūlāstrair vibhiduś ca parasparam, simhanādān vineduś ca rane vānararāksasāh/ chinnavarmatanutrānā rāksasā vānarair hatāh, rudhiram prasrutās tatra rasasāram iva drumāh/ rathena ca ratham cāpi vāraņena ca vāraņam, hayena ca hayam ke cin nijaghnur vānarā raṇe/ ksuraprair ardhacandrais ca bhallais ca nisitaih saraih, rāksasā vānarendrānām cicchiduh pādapāñ silāh/ vikīrnaih parvatāgraiś ca drumaiś chinnaiś ca samyuge, hataiś ca kapiraksobhir durgamā vasudhābhavat/ tasmin pravrtte tumule vimarde; prahrsyamāņesu valī mukhesu, nipātyamānesu ca rāksasesu; maharsayo devaganāś ca neduh/ tato hayam mārutatulyavegam; āruhya śaktim niśitām pragrhya, narāntako vānararājasainyam; mahārnavam mīna ivāviveśa/ sa vānarān saptaśatāni vīrah; prāsena dīptena vinirbibheda, ekah ksanenendraripur mahātmā; jaghāna sainyam haripumgavānām/ dadršuś ca mahātmānam hayapṛsthe pratisthitam, carantam harisainyesu vidyādharamaharsayah/ sa tasya dadṛśe mārgo māmsaśonitakardamaḥ, patitaiḥ parvatākārair vānarair abhisamvṛtaḥ/ yāvad vikramitum buddhim cakruḥ plavagapumgavāḥ, tāvad etān atikramya nirbibheda narāntakaḥ/ jvalantam prāsam udyamya samgrāmānte narāntakaḥ, dadāha harisainyāni vanānīva vibhāvasuḥ/ yāvad utpāṭayām āsur vṛkṣāñ śailān vanaukasah, tāvat prāsahatāḥ petur vajrakṛttā ivācalāh/ dikṣu sarvāsu balavān vicacāra narāntakaḥ, pramṛdnan sarvato yuddhe prāvṛṭkāle yathānilaḥ/ na śekur dhāvitum vīrā na sthātum spanditum kutaḥ, utpatantam sthitam yāntam sarvān vivyādha vīryavān/ ekenāntakakalpena prāsenādityatejasā, bhinnāni harisainyāni nipetur dharanītale/ vajranispesasadṛśam prāsasyābhinipātanam, na śekur vānarāh sodhum te vinedur mahāsvanam/ patatām harivīrānām rūpāni pracakāśire, vajrabhinnāgrakūtānām śailānām patatām iva/ ye tu pūrvam mahātmānah kumbhakarnena pātitāḥ, te 'svasthā vānaraśreṣṭhāḥ sugrīvam upatasthire/ viprekṣamāṇaḥ sugrīvo dadarśa harivāhinīm, narāntakabhayatrastām vidravantīm itas tatah/ vidrutām vāhinīm drstvā sa dadarša narāntakam, gṛhītaprāsam āyāntam hayapṛṣṭhe pratiṣṭhitam/ athovāca mahātejāḥ sugrīvo vānarādhipaḥ, kumāram angadam vīram sakratulyaparākramam/ gacchainam rāksasam vīra yo 'sau turagam āsthitaḥ, ksobhayantam haribalam ksipram prānair viyojaya/ sa bhartur vacanam śrutvā nispapātāngadas tadā, anīkān meghasamkāśān meghānīkād ivāmśumān/ śailasamghātasamkāśo harīnām uttamo 'ngadah, rarājāngadasamnaddhaḥ sadhātur iva parvataḥ/ nirāyudho mahātejāḥ kevalam nakhadamṣṭravān, narāntakam abhikramva vāliputro 'bravīd vacah/ tistha kim prākrtair ebhir haribhis tvam karisvasi,

asmin vajrasamasparśe prāsam kṣipa mamorasi/ angadasya vacaḥ śrutvā pracukrodha narāntakaḥ, samdaśya daśanair oṣṭham niśvasya ca bhujamgavat/ sa prāsam āvidhya tadāngadāya; samujjvalantam sahasotsasarja, sa vāliputrorasi vajrakalpe; babhūva bhagno nyapatac ca bhūmau/ tam prāsam ālokya tadā vibhagnam; suparṇakṛttoragabhogakalpam, talam samudyamya sa vāliputras; turamgamasyābhi - jaghāna mūrdhni/ nimagnapādaḥ sphuṭitākṣi tāro; niṣkrāntajihvo 'calasamnikāśaḥ, sa tasya vājī nipapāta bhūmau; talaprahāreṇa vikīrṇamūrdhā/ narāntakaḥ krodhavaśam jagāma; hatam turagam patitam nirīkṣya, sa muṣṭim udyamya mahāprabhāvo; jaghāna śīrṣe yudhi vāliputram/ athāngado muṣṭivibhinnamūrdhā; susrāva tīvram rudhiram bhṛśoṣṇam, muhur vijajvāla mumoha cāpi; samijñām samāsādya visiṣmiye ca/ athāngado vajrasamānavegam; samvartya muṣṭim giriṣṛṅgakalpam, nipātayām āsa tadā mahātmā; narāntakasyorasi vāliputraḥ/ sa muṣṭiniṣpiṣṭavibhinnavakṣā; jvālām vamañ śoṇitadigdhagātraḥ, narāntako bhūmitale papāta; yathācalo vajranipātabhagnaḥ/ athāntarikṣe tridaśottamānām; vanaukasām caiva mahāpraṇādaḥ,babhūva tasmin nihate 'gryavīre; narāntake vālisutena samkhye/ athāngado rāmamanaḥ praharṣaṇam; suduṣkaram tam kṛtavān hi vikramam, visiṣmiye so 'py ativīrya vikramaḥ; punaś ca yuddhe sa babhūva harṣitaḥ/

As Ravana was drowned in regretful sorrow thus, then Trishira addressed the Rakshasa King: Raja! you as our dear paternal uncle and ought not to breakdown with mourning in this manner. Your fame to have conquered trilokas is well known and as such this grief would not behove of you. You were bestowed by Brahma Himself withShakti, Kacvacha, Dhanus and Baanas and a Ratha with thousand donkeys with megka garjanas. You were well trained in astra-shastras are capable of performing Shrirama Danda. Even so, Maha Raja! you please may consent my jumping into the fray myself and like Guruda would attack 'maha naagas' hissing right now, I should make Rama to sleep for ever. As Shambaraasura was killed by Indra and Vishnu annihilated Narakaasura, I should be able to send to his final destination. (Explanatory notes on Narakasira nama would be: Viprachiti naamaka daanava was born to Simhika the sons like Vaataapi, Namuchi, Ilvala, Sumara, Andhaka, Naraka and Kaala naathga. Bhagavan Shri Kroshma of dwaapara yuga killed bhumi putra Narakaasura but the Narakusura is different.)

[Vishleshana on a) Shambarasura and Indra and b) Narakasura and Vishnu:

a) Indra was stated to have killed Shambarashra in Trita Yuga's Ramayana and Dwapara Yuga's Indraavataara's Pradyumna the son of Shri Krishna and Devi Rukmini; the latter is as given follows: Pradyumna was born to Rukmini and Krishna and the son looked exactly like Krishna. When he was hardly ten days old, Demon Sambara kidnapped the child not knowing that he was the son of Krishna threw him in the Sea as a huge fish ate him but the child was safe in its belly. A fisherman caught hold of the big fish and presented it to the King Sambara who in turn gave it to Mayavati the head cook of the King's kitchen who cut the fish to find an attractive baby inside. At that very juncture, Brahmarshi Narada appeared in the kitchen and revealed the Story to Mayavati of Lord Rudra turning 'Manmadha' (Cupid) into ashes when he and Rati (Cupid's wife) aimed Floral Arrows. Lord Rudra gave boons that in their next birth, Cupid would be born as Lord Krishna's son Pradyumna and Mayavati as Rati. As Pradyumna grew as a youngman, Mayavati desired to marry him despite wide difference of age. Pradyumna was popularly known as 'Vyuha' as the Lord of Intelligence, along with three of His other names viz Vasudeva (Lord of Consciousness); Sankarshana (Lord of Individuality) and Aniruddha (Lord of Intelligence). Eventually Pradyumna killed Sambara, married Mayavati and stayed with Rukmini and Krishna at Dwaraka.

b) Narakasura (Bhaumika):

The end of notorious Bhaumika, the son of Bhumi (Demi-Goddess of Earth), is celebrated till date on the moon fall day preceding Kartika Month of every year as 'Deepavali' (The Festival of Lights). Krishna, accompanied by Satyabhama flew by Garuda to 'Pragjyotisha', Capital City of Bhaumasura [now in Assaam], surrounded by mountains and ramparts defended by fire, water and unmanned automatic

weapons as also protected by 'Mura Pasha'- thousand miles-long deadly and sturdy wires as designed by Demon Mura. Krishna shattered the defence fortresses and blew His Panchajanya (Conch shell) with deadening reverberation as Demon Mura's frontal fortification was destroyed. When provoked, the Demon tossed his powerful club which was slashed by Krishna's Sudarsana Chakra into pieces and devastated Mura. Seven deadly sons of Mura, who had the knowledge of weapons as fully as their father, pounced in a group but Krishna's Supreme powers were no match and they too were cracked. Bhaumasura shot at his 'Shataghni'- the powerful disc with hundred blades- and later on with his mighty spear with which he defeated Indra too both of which proved futile. Finally Krishna gave His nod to Sudarsana Chakra (Wheel) to pull down the Demon and exterminate him. Thus Bhaumasura was sent to 'Naraka' and hence his ignominious title as Narakasura. [Another version is that the Demon was arrowed down by Satyabhama herself, as he secured a blessing from Lord Brahma that only his mother Goddess of Earth (Bhumi) could kill him; Satyabhama was the reincarnation of Goddess Earth. It was at Indra's distress call that received Krishna's attention was that the Asura appropriated Varuna Deva's Royalty Insignia which was an Umbrella; the Ear- Rings of Aditi- the Mother- Figure of Devas; and 'Mani Parvata' (Mandara Mountain) where Demi-Gods resided were among the abominable acts of the Demon. As a gesture of good-will, Satyabhama's desire to transfer the 'Parijata' Tree (which emerged in the churning process of Ocean) to her garden from the Heaven was obliged by Indra. Krishna on His part released sixteen thousand royal maidens of Kings defeated by Bhaumasura and consented to marry them, in addition to the eight principal wives. Goddess Prithvi sought her apology for her son's sins and reiterated her own devotion to Krishna. She said: 'I was blessed with a son (Bhaumika) and thus you gave me a son and now took him away too now! Please accept the Kundala and other possessions as he has died now but do kindly spare his progeny of any blames. Achyuta! You are the Creator-Protector and Terminator and the Unique Form of the Universe; how could I indeed acclaim and commend you; Do forgive your own son Narakasura for his misdeeds!

Further stanzas continued:

śrutyā triśiraso yākyam rāyano rāksasādhipah, punar jātam iyātmānam manyate kālacoditah/ śrutyā triśiraso vākyam devāntakanarāntakau, atikāvaś ca tejasvī babhūvur vuddhaharsitāh/ tato 'ham aham itv evam garjanto nairṛtarṣabhāḥ, rāvaṇasya sutā vīrāḥ śakratulyaparākramāḥ/ As Trisura asserted likewise, Ravana was delighted yet thinking that was due ti kaala prabhya indeed. Then having taken the lead frrom Trishira, Devantaka, Narantaka and Tejasvi Atikaaya too got readied for jumping into the battle. They all were gifted with 'akaasha vicharana, maayaa vishaaradas, rana durmadas and deva dapa nirmulakas' They are all also 'bala sampannas, and yuddha vishaaradaas' even with the experience of successfully encountering gandharva, kinnara, maha naagaas and devaaganaasa too, being 'astravettaas and yuddha nipunaas'. sa putrān samparişvajya bhūşayitvā ca bhūşanaih, āśīrbhiś ca praśastābhih preṣayām āsa saṃyuge/Ravana had then embraced them all, readied them with 'aabharanas, kavacha aayudhas and astrashastraas' and blessed them to face the enemy with ready ttack.mahodaramahāpārśvau bhrātarau cāpi rāvanah, raksanārtham kumārānām presavām āsa samvuge/ te 'bhivādya mahātmānam rāvaṇam ripurāvaṇam, krtvā pradakṣiṇam caiva mahākāyāḥ pratasthire/ sarvauṣadhībhir gandhaiś ca samālabhya mahābalāh, nirjagmur nairrtaśresthāh sad ete yuddhakānksinah/ Then Ravana also sent his brothers Mahaparshvya the 'yuddhhonmatta' and equally 'unmatta' Mahodara for raksha of the Raja Kumaras.tatah sudarsanam nāma nīlajīmūta - samnibham, airāvatakule jātam āruroha mahodarah/ sarvāyudhasamāyuktam tūnībhis ca svalamkṛtam, rarāja gajam āsthāya savitevāstamūrdhani/ hayottamasamāyuktam sarvāyudhasamākulam, āruroha rathaśreṣṭham triśirā rāvaṇātmajaḥ/Then Mahadora alighted Iraavata like Maha Gaja as he was fully equipped with sarvaayudhhas as Surya Deva ascended on 'agastyaachala shikhira'.Ravana Kumara Trishira was seated on a chariot with dhanush baanaas like 'indradhanush yukta meghasamana'. Atikaya Ravana putra the 'dhanurdhara shreshtha' too was seated on chariot drawn by excellent 'jaati ashvaas'. Ravana Kumara Narantaka was seated on 'ucchvaushrava samaana ashva'.Devantaka was seared on an gaja raaja too as though Vishnu himself with a golden parigha in his hands. Maha Parshva with a maha gada on his shoulders like Kubera himself

and so did Mahakaaya too. Thus making maha 'megha garjans' of Rayanasura's victories proceeded ao attack the maha vaanara sena while the latter too with gusto as puffed up and fortified with the recently concluded 'mahadaananda' of 'Kumbhakarna Vadha'.simhanādān vineduś ca raņe rākṣasavānarāh, śilābhiś cūrṇayām āsur yātudhānān plavamgamāh/ nijaghnuh samyuge kruddhāh kavacābharanāvṛtān, ke cid rathagatān vīrān gajavājigatān api/nijaghnuḥ sahasāplutya yātudhānān plavamgamāḥ, śailaśrnganipātaiś ca muştibhir vāntalocanāḥ, celuḥ petuś ca neduś ca tatra rākṣasapumgavāḥ/ Both the Rakshasa Veera Kumaras and the Maha vaanara pramukhas resorted to earth shaking like 'harsha ninaadaas'. The gritty and angered vaanaras pounced the Rakshasa Veera Kumaras seated on elephants, horses and chariots with maha vrikshasa and heavy mountain rocks and by their 'maha mushti ghaataas' too. The nishaachraas too with their potent 'ayudhas' sought to either smash down or fall down to earth. nijaghnuh śailaśūlāstrair vibhiduś ca parasparam, simhanādān vineduś ca rane vānararāksasāh/ chinnavarmatanutrānā rāksasā vānarair hatāh, rudhiram prasrutās tatra rasasāram iva drumāh/ rathena ca ratham cāpi vāraņena ca vāraņam, hayena ca hayam ke cin nijaghnur vānarā raņe/ kṣuraprair ardhacandrais ca bhallais ca nisitaih saraih, rākṣasā vānarendrāṇām cicchiduh pādapāñ silāh/ In this manner, rakshasaas and vaanaraas kept on making all out efforts of offensive and defensive tactics of the historic Rama Ravana Sangraama. As Rakshasa Veeraas were well protected by their kavacha and 'astra shastraas', Maha Vaanaraas with their bare bodies yet armed with mountain rocks and huge trees either on shoulders or on laps were carefree 'do or die' spree and bravery. How many vaanaraas indeed were crushed to death by the elephantry, horse back and chariot drawn Rakshasa Veeras especially by the Ravana Kumaaraas! They were successfully destroying to pieces the 'vriksha-parvata prahaaraas' with their 'ardha chandra-kshurpra-bhalla naamaka baanaas'. Then Naraantaka entered the 'maha sangraama' and made havoc to the vaanana veeras. Mahamanasvi vaanara veera then took to offensenve and joined Sugriva who in turn and asked Angada: gacchainam rākṣasam vīra yo 'sau turagam āsthitaḥ, ksobhayantam haribalam ksipram prānair viyojaya/ sa bhartur vacanam śrutvā nispapātāngadas tadā, anīkān meghasamkāśān meghānīkād ivāmśumān/ 'Son Angada! This Narantaka is right now creating a terror against the veera veeraas and would need to be controlled some how'. Then Angada faced Narantaka: tiştha kim prākrtair ebhir haribhis tvam karişyasi, asmin vajrasamasparśe prāsam kṣipa mamorasi/ aṅgadasya yacah śrutyā pracukrodha narāntakah, saṁdaśya daśanair osthaṁ niśyasya ca bhujamgayat/ sa prāsam āvidhya tadāngadāya; samujiyalantam sahasotsasarja, sa vāliputrorasi vajrakalpe; babhūva bhagno nyapatac ca bhūmau/ Wait wait Nishachara! Of which avail your displaying your prataapa on 'saamanaya vaanaras'! My broad chest is 'vaira samaana' do please hit the same if you dare!' As Angada challenged thus, Narantaka got truly infuriated and hissed like a deadly maha sarpa took a long breath and stood before Angada and having taken to a forceful and fast self- rounded kick and hit hard on Angada's vajra samaana vakshasthala and soon enough Narakantaka's forehead like a maha garuda snaches and hits a 'visha maha sarpa'. There after, Angada made a high jump and hit hard Narakantaka's horse. Having fallen down from the dead horse, Narakantaka had no bounds of his wrath and kicked hard on Angada's head as the Vanara Veera's head got damaged and 'rakta dhaaraas' flowed off as Angada wondered at the Rakshas's might. Yet, recovering fast enough, Angada stood up and thumped a reverberating gusty bluster on Narantaka's loha samaana trunk like chest with which Narantaka fell down dead as vaanara veeraas went berserk with unbounded craze. athāngado rāmamanaḥ praharsanam; suduskaram tam kṛtavān hi vikramam, visismiye so 'py ativīrya vikramah; punaś ca yuddhe sa babhūva harṣitaḥ/Angada had thus performed a truly heroic adventure against Narantaka for the delight and even a great surprise of Shri Rama and Angada was readied for further escapades ahead!

Sarga Seventy

<u>Hanuman shattered Devantaka and Trishira, Neela demolished Mahodara and Rishabha smashed Mahapaarshva</u>

Narāntakam hatam dṛṣṭvā cukruśur nairṛtarṣabhāḥ, devāntakas trimūrdhā ca paulastyaś ca mahodaraḥ/ārūḍho meghasamkāśam vāraṇendram mahodaraḥ, vāliputram mahāvīryam abhidudrāva vīryavān/

bhrātrvyasanasamtaptas tadā devāntako balī, ādāya parigham dīptam angadam samabhidravat/ ratham ādityasamkāśam yuktam paramavājibhih, āsthāya triśirā vīro vāliputram athābhyayāt/ sa tribhir devadarpaghnair nairrtendrair abhidrutah, vṛkṣam utpātayām āsa mahāviṭapam aṅgadaḥ/ devāntakāya tam vīras ciksepa sahasāngadah, mahāvrksam mahāsākham sakro dīptam ivāsanim/ trisirās tam praciccheda śarair āśīvisopamaih, sa vrksam krttam ālokva utpapāta tato 'ngadah' sa vavarsa tato vṛkṣāñ śilāś ca kapikuñjarah, tān praciccheda samkruddhas triśirā niśitaih śaraih/ parighāgrena tān vṛkṣān babhañja ca surāntakah, triśirāś cāngadam vīram abhidudrāva sāyakaih/ gajena samabhidrutya vāliputram mahodarah, jaghānorasi samkruddhas tomarair vajrasamnibhaih/ devāntakaś ca samkruddhah parighena tadāngadam, upagamyābhihatyāśu vyapacakrāma vegavān/ sa tribhir nairrtaśresthair yugapat samabhidrutah, na vivyathe mahātejā vāliputrah pratāpavān/ talena bhrśam utpatya jaghānāsya mahāgajam, petatur locane tasya vinanāda sa vāranah/visānam cāsya niskṛsya vāliputro mahābalah, devāntakam abhidrutya tādayām āsa samyuge/ sa vihvalitasarvāngo vātoddhata iva drumaḥ, lākṣārasasavarṇaṁ ca susrāva rudhiraṁ mukhāt/ athāśvāsya mahātejāḥ krcchrād devāntako balī, āvidhya parigham ghoram ājaghāna tadāngadam/ parighābhihatas cāpi vānarendrātmajas tadā, jānubhyām patito bhūmau punar evotpapāta ha/ samutpatantam triśirās tribhir āśīvisopamaih, ghorair haripateh putram lalāte 'bhijaghāna ha/ tato 'ngadam parikṣiptam tribhir nairṛtapumgavaih, hanūmān api vijnāya nīlas cāpi pratasthatuḥ/ tatas cikṣepa sailāgram nīlas trisirase tadā, tad rāvaṇasuto dhīmān bibheda niśitaih śaraih/ tad bānaśatanirbhinnam vidāritaśilātalam, savisphulingam sajvālam nipapāta gireh śirah/ tato jrmbhitam ālokya harsād devāntakas tadā, parighenābhidudrāva mārutātmajam āhave/ tam āpatantam utpatya hanūmān mārutātmajaḥ, ājaghāna tadā mūrdhni vajravegena mustinā/ sa mustinispistavikīrņamūrdhā; nirvāntadantāksivilambijihvaḥ, devāntako rākṣasarājasūnur; gatāsur urvyām sahasā papāta/ tasmin hate rākṣasayodhamukhye; mahābale samyati devaśatrau, kruddhas trimūrdhā niśitāgram ugram; vavarsa nīlorasi bānavarsam/ sa taih śaraughair abhivarsyamāno; vibhinnagātrah kapisainyapālah, nīlo babhūvātha visrstagātro; vistambhitas tena mahābalena/ tatas tu nīlah pratilabhya samjñām; śailam samutpātya savṛksasandam, tatah samutpatya bhṛśogravego; mahodaram tena jaghāna mūrdhni/ tatah sa śailābhinipātabhagno; mahodaras tena saha dvipena, vipothito bhūmitale gatāsuḥ; papāta varjābhihato yathādriḥ/ pitrvyam nihatam drṣṭvā triśirāś cāpam ādade, hanūmantam ca samkruddho vivvādha niśitaih śaraih/ hanūmāms tu samutpatya havāms triśirasas tadā, vidadāra nakhaih kruddho gajendram mrgarād iva/ atha śaktim samādāva kālarātrim ivāntakaḥ, cikṣepānilaputrāya triśirā rāvaṇātmajaḥ/ divi kṣiptām ivolkām tām śaktim kṣiptām asamgatām, grhītvā hariśārdūlo babhañja ca nanāda ca/ tām drstvā ghorasamkāśām śaktim bhagnām hanūmatā, prahrstā vānaraganā vinedur jaladā iva/ tatah khadgam samudyamya triśirā rāksasottamah, nicakhāna tadā rosād vānarendrasya vaksasi/khadgaprahārābhihato hanūmān mārutātmajah, ājaghāna trimūrdhānam talenorasi vīryavān/ sa talabhihatas tena srastahastāmbaro bhuvi, nipapāta mahātejās triśirās tyaktacetanah/ sa tasya patatah khadgam samācchidya mahākapih, nanāda girisamkāśas trāsayan sarvanairṛtān/ amṛṣyamāṇas tam ghoṣam utpapāta niśācarah, utpatya ca hanūmantam tāḍayām āsa muştinā/ tena muştiprahārena samcukopa mahākapih, kupitas ca nijagrāha kirīţe rākṣasarṣabham/ sa tasva šīrsāny asinā šitena; kirītajustāni sakundalāni, kruddhah praciccheda suto 'nilasya; tvastuh sutasyeva śirāmsi śakrah/ tāny āvatāksāny agasamnibhāni; pradīptavaiśvānaralocanāni, petuh śirāmsīndraripor dharaṇyām; jyotīmṣi muktāni yathārkamārgāt/ tasmin hate devaripau triśīrṣe; hanūmata śakraparākramena, neduh plavamgāh pracacāla bhūmī; raksāmsy atho dudruvire samantāt/ hatam triśirasam dṛstvā tathaiva ca mahodaram, hatau preksya durādharsau devāntakanarāntakau/ cukopa paramāmarsī mahāpārśvo mahābalah, jagrāhārcismatīm cāpi gadām sarvāyasīm śubhām/ hemapattapariksiptām māmsasoņitalepanām, virājamānām vapusā satrusoņitarañjitām/ tejasā sampradīptāgrām raktamālyavibhūşitām, airāvatamahāpadmasārvabhauma bhayāvahām/ gadām ādāya samkruddho mahāpārśvo mahābalaḥ, harīn samabhidudrāva yugāntāgnir iva jvalan/ atharsayah samutpatya vānaro ravaṇānujam, mahāpārśvam upāgamya tasthau tasyāgrato balī/ taṁ purastāt sthitaṁ drstvā vānaram parvatopamam, ājaghānorasi kruddho gadayā vajrakalpayā/ sa tayābhihatas tena gadayā vānararsabhah, bhinnavaksāh samādhūtah susrāva rudhiram bahu/ sa samprāpya cirāt samjñām rṣabho vānararṣabhah, kruddho visphuramāṇauṣṭho mahāpārśvam udaikṣata/ tāṁ grhītvā gadāṁ bhīmām āvidhya ca punah punah, mattānīkam mahāpārśvam jaghāna ranamūrdhani/ sa svayā gadayā

bhinno vikīrṇadaśanekṣaṇaḥ,nipapāta mahāpārśvo vajrāhata ivācalaḥ/ tasmin hate bhrātari rāvaṇasya; tan nairṛtānām balam arṇavābham, tyaktāyudham kevalajīvitārtham; dudrāva bhinnārṇavasamnikāśam/

As Narantaka was killed by Angada, Pulastyanandandana Trishira and Mahodara made 'ha ha kaaraas' and instantly enough Mahodara attacked Angada and his own brother Narantaka was killed Devantaka armed with a maha parigha too ran towards Angada. Trishira too jumped up a horse drawn chariot and ran after Angada. Understanding the gravity of the threesome attack Angada uprooted huge vriksa parampara and montain rocks had flown up the sky and made a torrential rain against Trishira but the latter having anticipated this released 'baana varshaas' which smashed them all as a provoked 'visha sarpa'. Meanwhile Mahodara too attacked with his loha parigha and hit the vajra samaana Angada's broad chest but cleverly enough the latter escaped the deadly hits. On the other hand with 'samaya sphurti' or alacrity of well-timed offensive killed the gaja raaja of Mahodara. Then Vaali Kumara Angada ran towards Devantaka anh hit hard with vaayu vega as Devantaka who was unaware fell down yet having racovered though partially raised his parigha and having revolved it with 'maha vega' at Angada. The angry Angada fell down hurt but got up soon enough jumped up high but Trishira aiming exactly on Angada's bhrukuti hit hard by threesome 'teevra baana prayoga' and the vivasha Angada Kumara's forehead was hurt deeply an d asked for the help of Hanuman and Neela. Neela at once hurled parvara shikhara but Ravana putra Trishara broke off the parvata shaikhara to shambles. Devanataka having complemented Trishira's speed and skill hit Hanuman nearby. Hanuman made a dash to Trishira who was mounted on a horse and Veeraajaneya tore off the horse by his mere nail hits. Ravana Kumara Trishira pulled up his 'Shakti Aayudha' and made a desperate 'prahaara'. divi kşiptām ivolkām tām śaktim kşiptām asamgatām, gṛhītvā hariśārdūlo babhañja ca nanāda ca/tām dṛṣṭvā ghorasamkāśām śaktim bhagnām hanūmatā, prahṛṣṭā vānaragaṇā vinedur jaladā iva/ tataḥ khaḍgam samudyamya triśirā rākṣasottamaḥ, nicakhāna tadā rosād vānarendrasya vaksasi. The Shaki Ayudha like an ulka or meteor the falling nakshatra was firmly gripped in Hanumam's fist and smashed up to pieces as Trishira was wonder struck while the vaanara brinda made sky reverberating 'harshollaasaas'. Trishira then raised his khadga and hurt Hanuman's broad chest.khadgaprahārābhihato hanūmān mārutātmajah, ājaghāna trimūrdhānam talenorasi vīrvavān/ sa talabhihatas tena srastahastāmbaro bhuvi, nipapāta mahātejās triśirās tyaktacetanah/ sa tasya patatah khadgam samācchidya mahākapih, nanāda girisamkāśas trāsayan sarvanairṛtān/ amṛṣyamāṇas tam ghoṣam utpapāta niśācaraḥ, utpatya ca hanūmantam tāḍayām āsa mustinā/Pavana kumaara gave back a forceful kick back and the maha tejasvi Trishira lost his consciousness and fell down to earth as 'rakasha ganaas' were alamed. tena muṣṭiprahāreṇa samcukopa mahākapih, kupitaś ca nijagrāha kirīte rāksasarsabham/ sa tasya śīrsāny asinā śitena; kirītajustāni sakundalāni, kruddhah praciccheda suto 'nilasya; tvastuh sutasyeva śirāmsi śakrah/ tāny āyatāksāny agasamnibhāni; pradīptavaiśvānaralocanāni, petuh śirāmsīndraripor dharanyām; jyotīmsi muktāni yathārkamārgāt/ tasmin hate devaripau triśīrṣe; hanūmata śakraparākrameṇa, neduh plavamgāh pracacāla bhūmī; rakṣāmsy atho dudruvire samantāt/ The rakshasa then recovered got up and took a leap and gave back a jerky thrust on Hanuman's chest, but the latter held the rakshasaa's glittering kireeta and his fat head and neck and just as Indra held the son of Tvashtha Putra Vishvarupa's Tri Mastakas with vajraayudha, Hanuman smashed the three headed Trishira to death. As Trishira and Mahodara were killed by Hanuman and Angada earlier, and Devantaka Narakantakaas too, Mahaparshva was in irretrievable anguish and anger as the gold like sons were lost forever and raised his heavy mace up his shoulders in readiness like 'pralaya kaalaagni' even as Vanara shiromani Rishabha was the vicim to have his chest pounded as flows of blood gushed out. The incensed Vaanara Raja Rishabha of the parvataakaara hit back the rakshasa with his iron fist on Mahaparshva's strongbox upperbody. But having made a simha garjana took up by his weighty strong hold of mace and attacked varuna putra Maha Vaanara Rishabha hit a maasive blow and Rishabha fell down unconscious but soon enough got up with 'varunadeva prabhava' and having turned around a couple of times pulled out the same mace of Mahaparshva's itself who fell down dead with a thud. As the brother of King Ravana viz. Mahaparshva was lost, the Rakshasasena took to heels having thrown off their arms and ran back amazed.

Sarga Seventy One

Atikaya the Kubera Putra whom Ravana considered as his own son; Brahma gifted an impregnable Kavacha to Atikaya; after a bhayankara yuddha, Lakshmana finally killed him by brahmastra itself

Svabalam vyathitam drstvā tumulam lomaharsanam, bhrātīmis ca nihatān drstvā sakratulyaparākramān/ pitrvyau cāpi samdrsya samare samniṣūditau, mahodaramahāpārsvau bhrātarau rākṣasarṣabhau/ cukopa ca mahātejā brahmadattavaro vudhi, atikāvo 'drisamkāśo devadānavadarpahā/ sa bhāskarasahasrasya saṃghātam iva bhāsvaram, ratham āsthāya śakrārir abhidudrāva vānarān/ sa visphārya mahac cāpam kirītī mṛstakundalah, nāma viśrāvayām āsa nanāda ca mahāsvanam/ tena simhapranādena nāmaviśrāvanena ca, įvāśabdena ca bhīmena trāsayām āsa vānarān/ te tasya rūpam ālokya yathā visnos trivikrame, bhayārtā vānarāh sarve vidravanti diśo daśa/ te 'tikāyam samāsādya vānarā mūdhacetasah, śaranyam śaranam jagmur lakṣmaṇāgrajam āhave/ tato 'tikāyam kākutstho rathastham parvatopamam, dadarśa dhanvinam dūrād garjantam kālameghavat/ sa tam dṛṣṭvā mahātmānam rāghavas tu suvismitah, vānarān sāntvavitvā tu vibhīsanam uvāca ha/ ko 'sau parvatasamkāśo dhanuşmān harilocanaḥ, yukte hayasahasreṇa viśāle syandane sthitaḥ/ ya eṣa niśitaih śūlaiḥ sutīkṣṇaiḥ prāsatomaraiḥ, arciṣmadbhir vṛto bhāti bhūtair iva maheśvaraḥ/ kālajihvāprakāśābhir va eso 'bhivirājate, āvṛto rathaśaktībhir vidyudbhir iva toyadah/ dhanūmsi cāsya sajyāni hemapṛsthāni sarvaśah, śobhayanti rathaśrestham śakrapātam ivāmbaram/ ka esa raksah śārdūlo ranabhūmim virājayan, abhyeti rathinām śrestho rathenādityatejasā/ dhvajaśrngapratisthena rāhuṇābhivirājate, sūrvaraśmiprabhair bānair diśo daśa virājavan/ trinatam meghanirhrādam hemaprstham alamkrtam, śatakratudhanuhprakhyam dhanuś cāsya virājate/ sadhvajah sapatākaś ca sānukarso mahārathah, catuhsādisamāyukto meghastanitanisvanah/vimśatir daśa cāstau ca tūnīraratham āsthitāh, kārmukāni ca bhīmāni jyāś ca kāñcanapingalāh/ dvau ca khadgau rathagatau pārśvasthau pārśvaśobhinau, caturhastatsarucitau vyaktahastadaśāyatau/ raktakanthaguno dhīro mahāparvatasamnibhah, kālah kālamahāvaktro meghastha iva bhāskarah/kāñcanāngadanaddhābhyām bhujābhyām esa śobhate, śrngābhyām iva tungābhyām himavān parvatottamah/ kundalābhyām tu yasyaitad bhāti vaktram śubheksanam, punarvasvantaragatam pūrnabimbam ivaindavam/ ācaksva me mahābāho tvam enam rāksasottamam, vam drstvā vānarāh sarve bhavārtā vidrutā diśah/ sa prstho rājaputrena rāmeņāmitatejasā, ācacakṣe mahātejā rāghavāya vibhīṣaṇaḥ/ daśagrīvo mahātejā rājā vaiśravaṇānujaḥ, bhīmakarmā mahotsāho rāvano rāksasādhipah/ tasyāsīd vīryavān putro rāvanapratimo rane, vrddhasevī śrutadharah sarvāstravidusām varah/ aśvaprsthe rathe nāge khadge dhanusi karsane, bhede sāntve ca dāne ca naye mantre ca sammatah/ yasya bāhum samāśritya lankā bhavati nirbhayā, tanayam dhānyamālinyā atikāyam imam viduh/ etenārādhito brahmā tapasā bhāvitātmanā, astrāni cāpy avāptāni ripavaś ca parājitāh/ surāsurair avadhyatvam dattam asmai svayambhuvā, etac ca kavacam divyam rathaś caişo 'rkabhāskarah/ etena śataśo devā dānavāś ca parājitāh, rakşitāni ca rakṣāmi yakṣāś cāpi niṣūditāḥ/ vajram viṣṭambhitam yena bāṇair indrasya dhīmataḥ, pāśaḥ salilarājasya yuddhe pratihatas tathā/ eso 'tikāvo balavān rāksasānām atharsabhah, rāvanasva suto dhīmān devadanava darpahā/ tad asmin krivatām vatnah ksipram purusapumgava, purā vānarasainvāni ksavam navati sāvakaih/ tato 'tikāyo balavān praviśya harivāhinīm, visphārayām āsa dhanur nanāda ca punaḥ punaḥ/ tam bhīmavapusam dṛstvā rathastham rathinām varam, abhipetur mahātmāno ve pradhānāh plavamgamāh/ kumudo dvivido maindo nīlah śarabha eva ca, pādapair giriśrngaiś ca yugapat samabhidravan/ tesām vṛksāms ca sailāms ca saraih kāñcanabhūsanaih, atikāyo mahātejās cicchedāstravidām varah/ tāms caiva sarān sa harīñ śaraiḥ sarvāyasair balī, vivyādhābhimukhaḥ samkhye bhīmakāyo niśācaraḥ/ te 'rditā bāṇabarṣeṇa bhinnagātrāḥ plavaṃgamāḥ, na śekur atikāyasya pratikartum mahāraṇe/ tat sainyam harivīrāṇām trāsayām āsa rākṣasaḥ, mṛgayūtham iva kruddho harir yauvanam āsthitaḥ sa rāṣasendro harisainyamadhye; nāyudhyamānam nijaghāna kam cit, upetya rāmam sadhanuḥ kalāpī; sagarvitam vākyam idam babhāse/ rathe sthito 'ham śaracāpapānir; na prākṛtam kam cana yodhayāmi, yasyāsti śaktir vyavasāya yuktā; dadātum me ksipram ihādya yuddham/ tat tasya vākyam bruvato niśamya; cukopa saumitrir amitrahantā, amṛṣyamāṇaś ca samutpapāta; jagrāha cāpam ca tataḥ smayitvā/ kruddhah saumitrir utpatya tūnād āksipya sāyakam, purastād atikāyasya vicakarsa mahad dhanuh/

pūrayan sa mahīm śailān ākāśam sāgaram diśah, jyāśabdo laksmanasyogras trāsayan rajanīcarān/ saumitres cāpanirghosam srutvā pratibhayam tadā, visismiye mahātejā rāksasendrātmajo balī/ athātikāyah kupito drstvā laksmaņam utthitam, ādāya niśitam bāṇam idam vacanam abravīt/ bālas tvam asi saumitre vikrameşv avicakşanah, gaccha kim kālasadṛśam mām yodhayitum icchasi/ na hi madbāhusrstānām astrānām himavān api, sodhum utsahate vegam antariksam atho mahī/ sukhaprasuptam kālāgnim prabodhayitum icchasi, nyasya cāpam nivartasva mā prāṇāñ jahi madgataḥ/ atha vā tvam pratistabdho na nivartitum icchasi, tistha prāṇān parityajya gamisyasi yamakṣayam/ paśya me niśitān bānān aridarpanisūdanān, īśvarāvudhasamkāśāms taptakāñcanabhūsanān/esa te sarpasamkāśo bānah pāsyati śonitam, mrgarāja iva kruddho nāgarājasya śonitam/ śrutvātikāyasya vacah sarosam; sagarvitam samyati rājaputrah, sa samcukopātibalo brhacchrīr; uvāca vākyam ca tato mahārtham/ na vākyamātrena bhavān pradhāno; na katthanāt satpurusā bhavanti, mayi sthite dhanvini bānapānau; vidaršayasvātmabalam durātman/ karmanā sūcayātmānam na vikatthitum arhasi, paurusena tu yo yuktah sa tu śūra iti smṛtaḥ/ sarvāyudhasamāyukto dhanvī tvam ratham āsthitah, śarair vā yadi vāpy astrair darśayasva parākramam/ tataḥ śiras te niśitaiḥ pātayiṣyāmy aham śaraiḥ, mārutaḥ kālasampakvam vrntāt tālaphalam vathā/ adva te māmakā bānās taptakāñcanabhūsanāh, pāsvanti rudhiram gātrād bāṇaśalyāntarotthitam/ bālo 'yam iti vijñāya na māvajñātum arhasi, bālo vā yadi vā --vṛddho mṛtyum jānīhi samyuge/ lakṣmaṇasya vacaḥ śrutvā hetumat paramārthavat, atikāyaḥ pracukrodha bānam cottamam ādade/ tato vidyādharā bhūtā devā daityā maharsayah, guhyakāś ca mahātmānas tad yuddham dadrsus tadā/ tato 'tikāyah kupitas cāpam āropya sāyakam, laksmanasya praciksepa samksipann iva cāmbaram/ tam āpatantam niśitam śaram āśīvisopamam, ardhacandrena ciccheda lakşmanah paravīrahā/ tam nikrttam śaram drstvā krttabhogam ivoragam, atikāyo bhrśam kruddhah pañcabāṇān samādade/ tāñ śarān sampracikṣepa lakṣmaṇāya niśācaraḥ, tān aprāptāñ śarais tīksnaiś ciccheda bharatānujah/ sa tāmś chittvā śarais tīksnair laksmanah paravīrahā, ādade niśitam bānam įvalantam iva tejasā/ tam ādāya dhanuh śresthe vojayām āsa laksmanah, vicakarsa ca vegena visasarja ca sāyakam/ pūrnāyatavisrstena śarenānata parvanā, lalāte rāksasaśrestham ājaghāna sa vīryavān/ sa lalāte śaro magnas tasya bhīmasya raksasah, dadrśe śonitenāktah pannagendra ivāhave/ rākṣasaḥ pracakampe ca lakṣmaṇeṣu prakampitaḥ, rudrabāṇahatam bhīmam yathā tripuragopuram/ cintayām āsa cāśvasya vimrśya ca mahābalah, sādhu bānanipātena śvāghanīyo 'si me ripuh/ vicāryaiyam vinamyāsyam vinamya ca bhujāy ubhau, sa rathopastham āsthāya rathena pracacāra ha/ ekam trīn pañca sapteti sāyakān rākṣasarṣabhaḥ, ādade samdadhe cāpi vicakarṣotsasarja ca/ te bāṇāḥ kālasamkāśā rāksasendradhanuś cyutāh, hemapunkhā raviprakhyāś cakrur dīptam ivāmbaram/ tatas tān rākṣasotsṛṣṭāñ śaraughān rāvaṇānujaḥ, asambhrāntaḥ praciccheda niśitair bahubhiḥ śaraiḥ/ tāñ śarān yudhi sampreksya nikrttān rāvanātmajah, cukopa tridasendrārir jagrāha nisitam saram/ sa samdhāya mahātejās tam bānam sahasotsrjat, tatah saumitrim āyāntam ājaghāna stanāntare/ atikāyena saumitris tāḍito yudhi vakṣasi, susrāva rudhiram tīvram madam matta iva dvipaḥ/ sa cakāra tadātmānam viśalyam sahasā vibhuḥ, jagrāha ca śaram tīṣṇam astreṇāpi samādadhe/ āgneyena tadāstreṇa yojayām āsa sāyakam, sa jajvāla tadā bāņo dhanuś cāsya mahātmanah/ atikāyo 'titejasvī sauram astram samādade, tena bānam bhujamgābham hemapunkham avojavat/ tatas tam įvalitam ghoram laksmanah śaram āhitam, atikāvāva ciksepa kāladandam ivāntakah/āgnevenābhisamvuktam drstvā bānam niśācarah, utsasarja tadā bāṇam dīptam sūryāstrayojitam/ tāv ubhāv ambare bāṇāv anyonyam abhijaghnatuḥ, tejasā sampradīptāgrau kruddhāv iva bhujam gamau/ tāv anyonyam vinirdahya petatur dharanītale, nirarcisau bhasmakṛtau na bhrājete śarottamau/ tato 'tikāyah saṃkruddhas tv astram aisīkam utsṛjat tat praciccheda saumitrir astram aindrena vīryavān/ aisīkam nihatam dṛstvā kumāro rāvanātmajah, yāmyenāstreņa samkruddho yojayām āsa sāyakam/ tatas tad astram cikṣepa lakṣmaṇāya niśācaraḥ, vāyavyena tad astram tu nijaghāna sa laksmaṇaḥ/ athainam śaradhārābhir dhārābhir iva toyadaḥ, abhyavarşata samkruddho lakşmano rāvanātmajam/ te 'tikāyam samāsādya kavace vajrabhūşite, bhagnāgraśalyāḥ sahasā petur bāṇā mahītale/ tān moghān abhisamprekṣya lakṣmaṇaḥ paravīrahā, abhyavarsata bānānām sahasrena mahāyaśāh/ sa varsyamāno bānaughair atikāyo mahābalah, avadhyakavacah samkhye rāksaso naiva vivyathe/ na śaśāka rujam kartum yudhi tasya narottamah, athainam abhyupāgamya vāyur vākyam uvāca ha/ brahmadattavaro hy eşa avadhya kavacāvṛtaḥ, brāhmenāstrena bhindhy enam esa vadhyo hi nānyathā/ tatah sa vāyor vacanam niśamya; saumitrir

indrapratimānavīryaḥ, samādade bāṇam amoghavegam; tad brāhmam astram sahasā niyojya/ tasmin varāstre tu niyujyamāne; saumitriņā bāṇavare śitāgre, diśaḥ sacandrārkamahāgrahāś ca; nabhaś ca tatrāsa rarāsa corvī/ tam brahmaṇo 'streṇa niyujya cāpe; śaram supunkham yamadūtakalpam, saumitrir indrārisutasya tasya; sasarja bāṇam yudhi vajrakalpam/ tam lakṣmaṇotsṛṣṭam amoghavegam; samāpatantam jvalanaprakāśam, suvarṇavajrottamacitrapunkham; tadātikāyaḥ samare dadarśa/ tam prekṣamāṇaḥ sahasātikāyo; jaghāna bāṇair niśitair anekaiḥ, sa sāyakas tasya suparṇavegas; tadātivegena jagāma pārśvam/ tam āgatam prekṣya tadātikāyo; bāṇam pradīptāntakakālakalpam, jaghāna śaktyṛṣṭigadākuṭhāraiḥ; śūlair halaiś cāpy avipannaceṣṭaḥ/ tāny āyudhāny adbhutavigrahāṇi; moghāni kṛtvā sa śaro 'gnidīptaḥ, prasahya tasyaiva kirīṭajuṣṭam; tadātikāyasya śiro jahāra/ tac chiraḥ saśiras trāṇam lakṣmaṇeṣuprapīḍitam, papāta sahasā bhūmau śṛṅgam himavato yathā/ praharṣayuktā bahavas tu vānarā; prabuddhapadmapratimānanās tadā, apūjayaml lakṣmaṇam iṣṭabhāginam; hate ripau bhīmabale durāsade/

Atikaya having realised that his maha paraakrami brothers and uncles had all fallen to death even by vaanaraas, got hurt and enraged especially by the yuddhhonmatta brothers Mahodara and Mahapaarshva who were blessed by 'Brahma varadaana prapti'. Atikaya was of parvata samaana vishaala kaaya and was a sworn enemy of 'Deva Daanava darpa haari' and Indra shatru. As he initiated his 'dhanushthankaara' and rushed forward, the vaanara sena having seen him from a distance, got bewildered that another Kumbhakarna had arrived for their food and drink from their flesh and blood! Shri Rama too wondered on sighting 'Atkaaya' from a distance and asked Vibhishana: 'Thousands of horses are being drawn that huge chariot and seated therin is a parvata swarupa bhayankara maha Rakshasa with a maha dhanush; who indeed that could be! The rathadhwaja shikhira is a pataaka with 'Rahu graha chinha'. On his maha ratha there are twenty arrow cases, ten bhayankara dhanushes, and numberless maha baanaas, besides khadgas. Then Vibhishana explained that he was Kubera's younger brother, the maha tejasvi Maha Kaya who was a veda shastra jnaata and paripurna astra vidya praveena. He was an expert on elephant-horse riding, shatra vidya praveena, dhnush baana sandhaana nipuna, lakshya bhdana vidya paarangata, saama daanapbheda dandaa praveena, nyaaya yukta manrana vetta. He was the Ravana patni Dhaanyamaalini putra, popular as Maha Kaaya. He was for long many 'Brahmaaraadhana yukta.' Brahma gaye him the 'varadaana' of invincibility against 'deva asuras'. Brahma also gifted him a 'divya kayacha', 'Surya samaana tejasvi maha ratha' and 'aneka divyaastraas'. Maha Ati Kaaya had the fame of deva-daanavas in thousands. In the past, with his baana prahaaraas, Atikaaya with his baana prahaaraas blunted Indra's vijraayudha prahaaraas repeatedly, let alone, 'deva daanava darpa samhaari'. tad asmin kriyatām yatnaḥ ksipram purusapumgava, purā vānarasainyāni ksayam nayati sāyakaih/ tato 'tikāyo balavān praviśya harivāhinīm, visphārayām āsa dhanur nanāda ca punah punah/ tam bhīmavapusam dṛstvā rathastham rathinām varam, abhipetur mahātmāno ye pradhānāh plavamgamāh/ Having explained about Atikaaya, Vibhishana then alerted Shri Rama: 'Purushottama! Now do now at once alert yout helpers immediately well before the Maha Rakshasa should start off smashing down the vaanara sena most ruthlessly.' Even as Vibhisana was alerting Shri Rama, balayaan Atikaaya started off yaanaara samhaara with maha garjana., Then he sighted even as he was seated comfortably sighted some vaanara veeraas distinctly: kumudo dvivido maindo nīlaḥ śarabha eva ca, pādapair giriśrngaiś ca yugapat samabhidravan/ teṣām vṛkṣāmś ca śailām's ca śaraih kāncanabhūsanaih, atikāyo mahātejā's cicchedāstravidām varah/ tām's caiva sarān sa harīñ śaraih sarvāyasair balī, vivyādhābhimukhah samkhye bhīmakāyo niśācarah/ His attention was drawn to some pradhana vaanaraas ready with maha vrikshaas and boulders, named Kumuda, Dwivida, Mainda, Neela, Sharabhaadi. Instantly Atikaya released his arrows and shattered the vrishshas and rocks. At the sametime he rounded the vaanaras with 'loha baanaas' and got them bundled up. The baana varshaas were such as th vaanara veeras could wriggle out from. Yet they shouted challenging the Maha Rakshasa to face Rama the maanava hero if he could. Lakshmama took the cue and jumped off with alertness smilingly. kruddhah saumitrir utpatya tūnād āksipya sāyakam, purastād atikāyasya vicakarsa mahad dhanuh/ pūrayan sa mahīm sailān ākāsam sāgaram disah, jyāsabdo laksmanasyogras trāsayan rajanīcarān/ saumitreś cāpanirghoṣaṁ śrutvā pratibhayaṁ tadā, visiṣmiye mahātejā rākṣasendrātmajo balī/ Then Lakshmana got his dhanush baanaas readied and his 'dhanush pratyanchaka dhyani' was of

'bhayankara niswana' as if prithivaakaasa samudras were filled up to the perilous nature to the nishacharas. Even Rakshasa Rajakumara Atikaayaa too got alerted and addressed Lakshmana: 'Sumitrakumara! You appear to be a mere 'baalaka' and still inexperienced in the art of battles and hence perhaps not yet worthy of a fulfledged battling. Why are you provoking me yet! Leave me alone by surrendering to me and I might consider my forgiveness. Yet, atha vā tvam pratistabdho na nivartitum icchasi, tiştha prāṇān parityajya gamişyasi yamakṣayam/ paśya me niśitān bāṇān aridarpaniṣūdanān, īśvarāyudhasamkāśāms taptakāncanabhūṣaṇān/eṣa te sarpasamkāśo bāṇaḥ pāsyati śoṇitam, mṛgarāja iva kruddho nāgarājasva śonitam/ Baalaka! If you still persist out of your ahamkaara and do not wish to surrender to me, then I would be obliged to forward you to yama loka. My baanaa parampara should such as to 'shatru darapa churna kaarakaas' like 'Bhagavan Shankara trishula aaghaataas'! Like kupita Simha laps up the hot blood of Gaja Raja and so shall be my fierce arrows akin to maha sarpas do your rakta paana!' śrutvātikāvasya vacah sarosam; sagarvitam samyati rājaputrah, sa samcukopātibalo brhacchrīr; uvāca vākyam ca tato mahārtham/ na vākyamātrena bhavān pradhāno; na katthanāt satpurusā bhavanti,mayi sthite dhanvini bāṇapāṇau; vidarśayasvātmabalam durātman/karmaṇā sūcayātmānam na vikatthitum arhasi, paurusena tu yo yuktah sa tu śūra iti smrtah/ Enraged my the hot and highly provocations of Atikaya, Lakshmana in full steam blast, made the 'dhanushbaana sandhaana'. He stated in fury: 'Duratma! Not by mere words but by virtue of deeds only teach you lessons. It is not by the mere hisses of a snake that when needs to be warned about but the bites of poison only. I am facing you with the challenge of dhanus baanaas as facing you and you may display all with your full strength right now. Saturate me with your 'veeryata' and only your veeryata that should speak of your purusharthaas. sarvāyudhasamāyukto dhanvī tyam ratham āsthitah, sarair vā yadi vāpy astrair darsayasya parākramam/ tatah siras te nisitaih pātayisyāmy aham saraih, mārutah kālasampakvam vṛntāt tālaphalam yathā/ adya te māmakā bānās taptakāñcanabhūsanāh, pāsyanti rudhiram gātrād bānaśalyāntarotthitam/ You appear to be fully equipped with 'sarvaayudhhas' seated with comfort with 'dhanur baanaas'; why don't you introduce them to me too and then only the fullfillment of purushardhas vindicated. Then only Rahshasa! Your head could be severed and fallen like Vayu could bend your head is possibly bent down to the ferocity of kaala chakra! To day my arrows are being quite thirsty of your blood. bālo 'yam iti vijñāya na māvajñātum arhasi, bālo vā vadi vā vrddho mrtyum jānīhi samyuge laksmanasva vacah śrutvā hetumat paramārthavat, atikāvah pracukrodha bānam cottamam ādade/ tato vidvādharā bhūtā devā daitvā maharşayah, guhyakāś ca mahātmānas tad yuddham dadrsus tadā/ tato 'tikāyah kupitas cāpam āropya sāyakam, laksmanasya praciksepa samksipann iya cāmbaram/ Please not ignore me considering me as a baalaka and keep jibing at me; as a baalaka or a vriddhha, take me as your Kaala Devata to be subdued and uprooted. Vaamanarupadhaari Bhagavan Vishnu appeared like Baalaka Vaamana but succeeded in counting trilokas and subdued Bali Chakravarti to paataala lokaas. Then Vidyadharaas, Bhutas, devatadaitya, maharshi and guhyaska ganaas had arrived to see and enjoy. Thus the rattled up Atikaya with anger pulled up his dhanush baanaas and forwarded against Lakshmana. tam āpatantam niśitam śaram āśīviṣopamam, ardhacandreṇa ciccheda lakṣmaṇaḥ paravīrahā/ tam nikṛttam śaram dṛṣṭvā kṛttabhogam ivoragam, atikāvo bhrśam kruddhah pañcabānān samādade/ tāñ śarān sampraciksepa laksmanāva niśācarah, tān aprāptāñ śarais tīksnaiś ciccheda bharatānujah/ sa tāmś chittvā śarais tīksnair laksmanah paravīrahā, ādade niśitam bāṇam įvalantam iva tejasā/But Lakshmana being an extraordinaty dhanurdhara having smashed Ati Kaya's baana parampara, Lakshmana replied with an artha chandraakaaraa baana severed Atikaya baanas of poisoned sarpas. The angered Atikaya released five baanas of which could not even reach Laksmana and the rest were all shattered. tam ādāya dhanuh śresthe yojayām āsa lakṣmaṇaḥ, vicakarṣa ca vegena visasarja ca sāyakam/ pūrṇāyatavisṛṣṭena śareṇānata parvaṇā, lalāṭe rākṣasaśreṣṭham ājaghāna sa vīryavān/ sa lalāṭe śaro magnas tasya bhīmasya rakşasah, dadrse sonitenāktah pannagendra ivāhave/ rākşasah pracakampe ca laksmaņeşu prakampitah, rudrabāṇahatam bhīmam yathā tripuragopuram/ 'Shatruveeraa samhaara kara' Lakshmana then having drawn his dhanudh wide realeased just one unique mantrika baana which was aimed at the Rakshasa's forehead and hit it deep and wide as his facial veins were split up resulting in flows of blood. As the arrow piereced through, the rakashasa was rattled up with shaken up as Rudra's baana parampara Tripura's gopuras were shattered. cintayām āsa cāśvasya vimrśya ca mahābalah, sādhu bānanipātena

śvāghanīyo 'si me ripuh/ vicāryaivam vinamyāsyam vinamya ca bhujāv ubhau, sa rathopastham āsthāya rathena pracacāra ha/ ekam trīn pañca sapteti sāyakān rāksasarsabhah, ādade samdadhe cāpi vicakarşotsasarja ca/ Then got into deep thinking, maha bali Atikaya responded: Saadhu saadhu! Lakshmana! Now you have truly displayed your 'baana vidya praveenata'! Having conceeded thus, Atikaaya set one- three-five and seven arrows on the holes of the dhanush and released with tremendous force. te bāṇāḥ kālasamkāśā rākṣasendradhanuś cyutāḥ, hemapunkhā raviprakhyāś cakrur dīptam ivāmbaram/ tatas tān rākṣasotsṛṣṭāñ śaraughān rāvaṇānujaḥ, asambhrāntaḥ praciccheda niśitair bahubhiḥ śaraiḥ/ tāñ śarān yudhi samprekṣya nikṛttān rāvaṇātmajaḥ, cukopa tridaśendrārir jagrāha niśitam śaram/ sa samdhāya mahātejās tam bānam sahasotsrjat, tatah saumitrim āyāntam ājaghāna stanāntare/ As the Rakshasa's released baana paramparaas which were glittering with Suryatulya tejasvi and kaala samaana bhayankara vega. But Raghunaadha's younger brother Lakshmana with quiet placidity was nonchalance kept on negatived with skill and fortutude. Then Inhradrohi Ravana Kumara Atikaya got awfully humiliated and angered in white rage picked up one sharp arrow, set it in position and released as Lakshmana's chest was hurt and split it down as his blood vessels were torn and the blood gushed out. atikāvena saumitris tādito vudhi vaksasi, susrāva rudhiram tīvram madam matta iva dvipah/ sa cakāra tadātmānam viśalyam sahasā vibhuḥ, jagrāha ca śaram tīṣṇam astreṇāpi samādadhe/āgneyena tadāstreņa yojayām āsa sāyakam, sa jajvāla tadā bāņo dhanuś cāsya mahātmanaḥ/ atikāyo 'titejasvī sauram astram samādade, tena bānam bhujamgābham hemapunkham ayojayat/ As Lakshmana was thus hurt terribly while his chest was torn and blood was flowing out, the Rakshasa veeraas raised jai jai ninaadaas with jumping joy and bumping Atikaaya. Even having been deeply hurt thus, Lakshmana had soon enough awakening his 'takshana katavya' had set in his arrow by invoking 'agneyaastra abhimantrana'. Atikaayaa too had soon set in a 'suvarna visha sarpa samaana baana' was readied set onto the dhanush. Meanwhile however, the readily 'prajjvalita divyaagni shakti' hit the sarpa baana of Atikaya encountered each other and fell down as mutually negatived. tatas tam jvalitam ghoram laksmanah śaram āhitam, atikāyāya ciksepa kāladandam ivāntakah/āgneyenābhisamyuktam dṛstvā bānam niśācarah, utsasarja tadā bānam dīptam sūryāstrayojitam/ tāv ubhāv ambare bānāv anyonyam abhijaghnatuh, tejasā sampradīptāgrau kruddhāv iva bhujam gamau/ tāv anyonyam vinirdahya petatur dharanītale, nirarcisau bhasmakrtau na bhrājete śarottamau/ Lakshmana again invoked divvaasthra shakti baana which was of the potency of 'kaala danda'. But Atikaya prayoga of Suryastra negatived the Lakshmana's kaala danda. tato 'tikāyaḥ samkruddhas tv astram aiṣīkam utsrjat, tat praciccheda saumitrir astram aindrena vīryavān/ aisīkam nihatam drstvā kumāro rāvanātmajah, yāmyenāstrena samkruddho yojayām āsa sāyakam/ tatas tad astram ciksepa laksmanāya niśācarah, vāyavyena tad astram tu nijaghāna sa laksmanah/ athainam śaradhārābhir dhārābhir iva toyadah, abhyavarsata samkruddho laksmano rāvanātmajam/ Atiyaya was frustrated and used Twashta Deva which was negatived by Aindreyaatra as released by Lakshmana. Ravana Kumara Atikaya had then got frustrated and released Yaamyaastra but Lakishmana negatived it with Vayaavaastra. Agitatated Atikaya was then wondering as to how to wriggle out from Lakashmana's scare now. Meanwhile Lakshmana started hitting and pounding his arrows on Atikavas body kavacha. te 'tikāyam samāsādya kavace vajrabhūşite, bhagnāgraśalyāh sahasā petur bāṇā mahītale/ tān moghān abhisamprekṣya lakṣmaṇaḥ paravīrahā, abhyavarṣata bāṇānām sahasreṇa mahāyaśāḥ/ sa varṣyamāṇo bāṇaughair atikāyo mahābalaḥ, avadhyakavacaḥ samkhye rākṣaso naiva vivyathe/ na śaśāka rujam kartum yudhi tasya narottamah, athainam abhyupāgamya vāyur vākyam uvāca ha/ Atikaaa then realised that his divya kavacha [as gifted from Brahma himself] was impregnable even as with the glittering diamonds were noubt rolling down by Lakshnana baanaas. As his baanaas were being wasted away, shatru veera samhaara maha yashasvi Lakshmana made a sahasra baana parampara. Then Vayu Deva appeared to have whispered in his ears: Sumitra nandana! brahmadattavaro hy eşa avadhya kavacāvṛtaḥ, brāhmeṇāstreṇa bhindhy enam eṣa vadhyo hi nānyathā/ tataḥ sa vāyor vacanam niśamya; saumitrir indrapratimānavīryaḥ, samādade bāṇam amoghavegam; tad brāhmam astram sahasā niyojya/ tasmin varāstre tu niyujyamāne; saumitrinā bānavare šitāgre, dišah sacandrārkamahāgrahāś ca; nabhaś ca tatrāsa rarāsa corvī/Brahma Deva gave a vara daana to this Maha Rakshasa Atikaaya and gifted this 'amogha kavacha'. Indeed, Lakshmana otherwise is of Indra samaana parakrami. Then Lakshmana utilised 'brahmaastra abhimantrana' as dashadishas were alerted, and so were Chandra Suryas too; the antariksha praanis stood up and sarva bhumanadala got vigilant too. tam brahmano 'strena niyujya cāpe; śaram supunkham yamadūtakalpam, saumitrir indrārisutasya tasya; sasarja bānam yudhi vajrakalpam/ tam lakşmanotsrstam amoghavegam; samāpatantam jvalanaprakāśam, suvarņavajrottamacitrapunkham; tadātikāyah samare dadarśa/ tam prekṣamāṇah sahasātikāyo; jaghāna bānair niśitair anekaih, sa sāyakas tasva suparnavegas; tadātivegena jagāma pārśvam/ As Sumitra Kumaara fixed up and did the 'brahmaastra abhimantrana', then yamadoota samaana bhayankara vajra too became vulnerable and as soon as the Indradrohi Ravana Putra Atikaya was aimed at by Lakshmana. As the Lakshmana baanaa picked up vaayu yega, Atikaya felt the unusual teekshnata of Vayu Deva. tam āgatam preksya tadātikāyo; bānam pradīptāntakakālakalpam, jaghāna śaktyrstigadākuthāraih; śūlair halaiś cāpy avipannacestah/ tāny āyudhāny adbhutavigrahāni; moghāni kṛtvā sa śaro 'gnidīptah, prasahya tasyaiva kirītajustam; tadātikāyasya śiro jahāra/ tac chirah saśiras trānam laksmanesuprapīditam, papāta sahasā bhūmau śṛṅgaṁ himavato yathā/ praharsayuktā bahavas tu vānarā; prabuddhapadmapratimānanās tadā,apūjayaml laksmanam istabhāginam; hate ripau bhīmabale durāsade/ As pralaya kaala prajjvalita baana was approaching Atikaya lost his consciousness and sought to wriggle out his ayudhas like Shakti, Rushti, Gada, Kuthaara, Shula and dhanus baanaas. Then the blast of the vaayu severed Atikaayaa's 'makuta -sahita mastaka'. Thus Lakshmana's brahmaastra resulted in the Maha Rakshas's head rolled down like himalaya shikhira's fall down to earth. Mahakaaya's vastra aabhushanaas were scattered away and as his collapse to death sent instant shock waves to the raksha sena which got broken into heart broken vikrita swaras of high intensity. Lakshmana then slowly paced up towards Shri Rama whose eloquent smile caused earth shaking reverberations of ecstatic ananda ninaadaas across the maha vaanara sena in tune with the ever rising high tides of the maha samudra with the approaching day fall.

Sarga Seventy Two

Totally smashed to smithereens, Ravanasura reviewed several Maha Rakshasa Veeraas had sacrificed lives for him so far and instructed safety of Lankapuri, specially where Devi Sita resided

As Rayana heard that Atikaya too was the latest casuality by Lakshmana's brahmastra, he stood up anguished. He racalled that thed atyanta amashasheela Dhumraaksha, sampurna shastra dhaari shershtha Akampana, Prahasta, and of course the invincible Kumbhakarna. All these Rakshasa heros were ever anxious and ready to display their skills against the 'vaanaara maanava' combine. Yet, Maha Karma Nisthaatma Rama facilitated the raw material Vanara koti to train and inspire veera raakshasa samhaara. Indeed how many maha manasvi shuraveera rakshasaas were overthrown. No doubt my proud son Indrajit did succeed in binding Rama Lakshmanas with Naagaastra and that maha bandhana was not possible for Devaasuras to wriggle out from; even yaksha-gandharva-maha naagaas too could emerge from thar astra babdana. But surprising as to how Rama Lakshmanas were freed from that bandhana prayoga! Now under my supreme command may all the shura veerarakshasa yoddhhas volunteer themselves, lest be conscripted any way with the single duty of killing as many vaanaraas as possible so that vanaras get extinct from Brahama Srishti. Tam na pashyaamyaham yuddhe yodya Raamam salakshmanam, naashayet sabalam veeram Sugreevam Vibheeshanam/ Under my command I look forward to identify those distinguished Rakhasasa Maha Veeras who could ever extinguish Rama Lakshmanas, vaanara veeraas along with Sugriva and of course the avakaasaha vaadi Vibhishana aspiring for my simhasana! Aho subalayaan Raamo mahadastrabalam cha yai, yasya yikramamaasaasdya raakshasaa nidhanam gataah/ Tam manye Raghavan veeram Naaraayanamanaamayam, tabdhyaaddhi puree Lankaa pihita dvaara toranam/ 'Aho! Rama is a great balavaan and his astrashashstra expertise is truly commendable and had severlal maha raakshaasaas were uprooted. It is his distress and hatred for Lankapuri that has necessitated the lating closure of its gates! Is he of the 'saakshaat swarupa' of Narayama Himself! Apramattaaischa sarvatra gulme rakshayaa puree tviyam, ashokavanikaa chaiva yatra Sitaabhiraksyate/ Nshkramo vaa pravedsho vaa jnaatavyah sarvadaivanah, yatra yatra bhaved gulmasratra tatra punah punah, asarvaschaapi tishthadham svaih svaih parivritaa balaahh/ Drushtavyam cha padam teshaam

vaanaraanaam nishaacharaah, poradoshe vaardha raatre vaa prtyushe vcaapisarvashah/ Now, Rakshasaas! Be ever vigilant with all your strength and preparedness especially where Devi Sita had been kept at the Ashoka Vaatika especially. Be watchful of entry and exit points of that specific area. Nishacharas! Be extra careful of the entry-exits especially at the pradosha kaalaas, midnights, and early mornings most certainly of the tricky vaanaraas. Having alerted the Rakshasaas, then Ravana decided of his further plans of wriggling out of the situation of his kingdom and of the fast dwindling status his own.

Sarga Seventy Three

<u>Indrajit devastated Vanara Veeraas being invisible on skies and by using brahmaastra made Rama</u> Lakshmaas too victimised as Ravana was thrilled and so were Rakshasaas and Lankapura

Tato hatān rākṣasapumgavāms tān; devāntakāditriśiro 'tikāyān, rakṣogaṇās tatra hatāvaśiṣṭās; te rāvaṇāya tvaritam śaśamsuh/ tato hatāms tān sahasā niśamya; rājā mumohāśrupariplutākṣaḥ, puraksavam bhrātrvadham ca ghoram; vicintva rājā vipulam pradadhvau/ tatas tu rājānam udīksva dīnam; śokārṇave samparipupluvānam, atharṣabho rākṣasarājasūnur; athendrajid vākyam idam babhāṣe/ na tāta moham pratigantum arhasi; yatrendrajij jīvati rākṣasendra,nendrāribāṇābhihato hi kaś cit; prānān samarthah samare 'bhidhartum/ paśyādya rāmam sahalaksmanena; madbānanirbhinnayikīrna deham, gatāyusam bhūmitale śayānam; śaraih śitair ācitasarvagātram/ imām pratijñām śrnu śakraśatroh; suniścitām pauruṣadaivayuktām, adyaiva rāmam sahalakṣmaṇena; samtāpayiṣyāmi śarair amoghaih/adyendravaivasvataviṣṇumitra; sādhyāśvivaiśvānaracandrasūryāḥ, drakṣyanti me vikramam aprameyam; vişnor ivogram baliyajñavāte/ sa evam uktvā tridaśendraśatrur; āpṛcchya rājānam adīnasattvah, samārurohānilatulyavegam; ratham kharaśresthasamādhiyuktam/ samāsthāya mahātejā ratham harirathopamam, jagāma sahasā tatra yatra yuddham arimdama/ tam prasthitam mahātmānam anujagmur mahābalāh, samharsamānā bahavo dhanuhpravarapānayah/ gajaskandhagatāh ke cit ke cit paramavājibhih, prāsamudgaranistrimsa parasvadhagadādharāh/ sa sankhaninadair bhīmair bherīnām ca mahāsvanaiḥ, jagāma tridaśendrāriḥ stūyamāno niśācaraiḥ/ sa śankhaśaśivarnena chatrena ripusādanah, rarāja paripūrnena nabhaś candramasā yathā/ avījyata tato vīro haimair hemayibhūsitaih, cārucāmaramukhvaiś ca mukhvah sarvadhanusmatām/ tatas tv indrajitā laṅkā sūrvapratimatejasā, rarājāprativīryeņa dyaur ivārkeņa bhāsvatā/ sa tu dṛṣṭvā viniryāntam balena mahatā vṛtam, rāksasādhipatih śrīmān rāvanah putram abravīt/ tvam apratirathah putra jitas te yudhi vāsavah, kim punar mānusam dhrsyam na vadhisyasi rāghavam tathokto rāksasendrena pratigrhya mahāśisah, rathenāśvayujā vīrah śīghram gatvā nikumbhilām/ sa samprāpya mahātejā yuddhabhūmim arimdamah, sthāpayām āsa raksāmsi ratham prati samantatah/ tatas tu hutabhoktāram hutabhuk sadṛśaprabhah, juhuve rākṣasaśreṣṭho mantravad vidhivat tadā/ sa havirjālasamskārair mālyagandhapuraskṛtaiḥ, juhuve pāvakam tatra rākṣasendraḥ pratāpavān/ śastrāṇi śarapatrāṇi samidho 'tha vibhītakaḥ/ lohitāni ca vāsāmsi sruvam kārṣṇāyasam tathā/ sa tatrāgnim samāstīrya śarapatraih satomaraih, chāgasya sarvakrsnasya galam jagrāha jīvatah/ sakrd eva samiddhasya vidhūmasya mahārcisah, babhūvus tāni lingāni vijavam vānv adarśavan/ pradaksināvartaśikhas taptakāñcanasamnibhah, havis tat pratijagrāha pāvakaḥ svayam utthitaḥ/ so 'stram āhārayām āsa brāhmam astravidām varaḥ, dhanuś cātmaratham caiva sarvam tatrābhyamantrayat/ tasminn āhūyamāne 'stre hūyamāne ca pāvake, sārkagrahendu naksatram vitatrāsa nabhastalam/ sa pāvakam pāvakadīptatejā; hutvā mahendrapratimaprabhāvah, sacāpabānāsirathāśvasūtah; khe 'ntardadha ātmānam acintyarūpah/ sa sainyam utsrjya sametya tūrnam; mahāraņe vānaravāhinīşu, adrsyamānah sarajālam ugram; vavarsa nīlāmbudharo yathāmbu/ te śakrajidbāṇaviśīrṇadehā; māyāhatā visvaram unnadantaḥ, raṇe nipetur harayo 'drikalpā; yathendravajrābhihatā nagendrāh/ te kevalam samdadrsuh sitāgrān; bāṇān raņe vānaravāhinīṣu, māyā nigūḍham ca surendraśatrum; na cātra tam rākṣasam abhyapaśyan/ tataḥ sa rakṣo'dhipatir mahātmā; sarvā diśo bānaganaih śitāgraih, pracchādayām āsa raviprakāśair; visādayām āsa ca vānarendrān/ sa śūlanistrimśa paraśvadhāni; vyāvidhya dīptānalasamnibhāni, savisphulingojjvalapāvakāni; vavarsa tīvram plavagendrasainye/ tato jvalanasamkāśaiḥ śitair vānarayūthapāḥ, tāḍitāḥ śakrajidbāṇaiḥ praphullā iva kimśukāh/ anyonyam abhisarpanto ninadantaś ca visvaram, rāksasendrāstranirbhinnā

nipetur vānararsabhāh/ udīksamānā gaganam ke cin netresu tāditāh, śarair viviśur anyonyam petuś ca jagatītale/ hanūmantam ca sugrīvam angadam gandhamādanam, jāmbavantam suṣeṇam ca vegadarśinam eva ca/ maindam ca dvividam nīlam gavākṣam gajagomukhau, kesarim harilomānam vidyuddamstram ca vānaram/ sūryānanam jyotimukham tathā dadhimukham harim, pāvakākṣam nalam caiva kumudam caiva vānaram/ prāsaih śūlaih śitair bānair indrajinmantrasamhitaih, vivvādha hariśārdūlān sarvāms tān rākṣasottamaḥ/sa vai gadābhir hariyūthamukhyān; nirbhidya bāṇais tapanīyapunkhaiḥ, vavarşa rāmam śaravṛṣṭijālaiḥ; salakṣmaṇam bhāskararaśmikalpaiḥ/ sa bāṇavarṣair abhiyarsyamāno; dhārānipātān iya tān vicintya, samīksamānah paramādbhutaśrī; rāmas tadā laksmanam ity uvāca/ asau punar laksmana rāksasendro; brahmāstram āśritya surendraśatruh, nipātayitvā harisainyam ugram; asmāñ śarair ardayati prasaktam/svayambhuvā dattavaro mahātmā; kham āsthito 'ntarhitabhīmakāyah, katham nu śakyo yudhi nastadeho; nihantum adyendrajid udyatāstrah/ manye svayambhūr bhagavān acintyo; vasyaitad astram prabhavaś ca yo 'sya,bāṇāvapātāms tvam ihādya dhīman; mayā sahāvyagramanāh sahasva/ pracchādayaty eṣa hi rāksasendrah; sarvā diśah sāvakavrstijālaih, etac ca sarvam patitāgrvavīram; na bhrājate vānararājasainyam/āvām tu drstvā patitau visamijnau; nivrttayuddhau hataroşaharşau, dhruvam praveksyaty amarārivāsam; asau samādāya raṇāgralakṣmīm/ tatas tu tāv indrajid astrajālair; babhūvatus tatra tadā viśastau, sa cāpi tau tatra viṣādayitvā; nanāda harṣād yudhi rākṣasendraḥ/ sa tat tadā vānararājasainyam; rāmam ca samkhye sahalaksmanena, visādavitvā sahasā viveśa: purīm daśagrīvabhujābhiguptām/

As rapid flashes of the tragic news of a series of deaths of Maha Rakshas stalwarts like of the stature of Devantaka, Trishira and now of Atikaya, Ravana's tears rolled down as never ever before especially of sons, brothers and the close kith ad kin. Then he looked at his elder son Indrajit. The latter at once took the cue and asserted: 'Dear most father the Rakshasa Raja! As long as Indrajit were alive, never ever you should get concerned as the son could not only attack most successfully but also self defend and more significantly revive your glory. To day, I should most certainly ensure the destruction of the body parts of Rama Lakshmanas and assure their permanent sleep. imām pratijñām śrņu śakraśatroḥ; suniścitām paurusadaivavuktām, advaiva rāmam sahalaksmanena; samtāpavisvāmi śarair amoghaih/ advendravaivasvatavisnumitra; sādhvāśvivaiśvānaracandrasūrvāh, draksvanti me vikramam aprameyam; viṣṇor ivogram baliyajñavāṭe/ Hereby Indrashatru the Ravana Putra should swear by my honour and life and by the virtue of Brahma Bala asserting to attack Rama Lakshmanas with my amogha baanaas to death and thus theirt yuddha vishayaka pipaasha to get put off for ever. To day, You should witness such 'bhayankara drishyaas' of the valour and fortitude of Indra, Yama, Vishnu, Rudra, Saandhya, Agni, Surya and Chanda's 'apaara paraakrama' most certainly.' Having asserted thus, Indrajit having received Ravana's blessings jumped on to his donkey drawn chariot with speed and determination for the attack and reached the very arena for facing the enemy. Shankha ninaadaas and dundhubhi swaraasa were resounded as Indradrohi was reaching the ranabhumi. On the way, Indrajit made a conscious stop for sometime, got down the chariot, performed agni sthaapana, agni deva puja, havish ahuti in the flames and made the due aavaahana od brahmaastra, even as Surya Chandras, Graha Nakshtraas and antariksha pranis were alerted. Having made the ahutis to Agni duly, set up his dhanush baanaas, radha, khadga, saaradhi duly the diappeared on to the skies. Then the Rakshasa Sena made a mercurial entry on to the battle grounds with 'suvarnabhushita, vichitra baanaaneka dhanushas', and 'shastraaneekaas' freely killing vaanara senaas with their armoury. Indrajit too commenced his mighty prahaaras with gadaa musalaas and astra shastraas besides shaila shikhiraas and vriksha varshasas targetted to the vaanara yoddhaas who were killed, or with broken body parts as flows of blood gathered momentum. As the morale booster of Rakashasa Veeraas, Indrajit setting each of the release of banaas with five five, seven seven, nine nine groups succeeded in smasing down dozens of vaanaaraas by each such shots of baana gucchhas. He then attacked select vaanara veeraas and as their bodies were torn and sliced thert were flows of blood and ran amuck. Many of the Vanaras cried out yelling the name of Shri Rama and laid down their lives while several of them stayed back unnerved hurling boulders and huge trees. But the strong willed Rayana Kumara kept on 'vaanara videerna' with his 'baana prayaahaas'. Then he

commenced releasing 'vishadhara sarpa samaana bhayankara agni tulya shakti shali baana varsha' was in high momentum. He realeased eighteen arrows like agni įvaalaas and hit Gandamadana vaanara mahaa veera who got deeply hurt while nine of far fiercer arrows hurt Nala. Indrajit then ulilised 'marma bhedi visha baanaas'in attacking Mainda Vaanara Veera and simultaneously five more such prahaaraas on Gaja Vanara who was too bound tight crumbling down yet with life. Indrajit got further enthused and hit with ten arrows on Jambavaan and thirty arrows on Neela who too were hurt grievously. Then Ingrajit resorted to 'bahusankhyaka baana paramapara' on Sugriva, Rishabha, Angad and Dvivida as all of them were victimised almost senseless. Thus having devastated the vaanaras and their pramukhas, Indrajit had suddenly disappeared by his maaya yet the bana varshaas were pouring from there or here or nowhere and anywhere as he was flying all over the skies by his 'maaya bhramana' as groups of vaanaraas were scattered all over the battle ground. He was also hurling shulas, khadgas and parighas as from no where and every where. hanūmantam ca sugrīvam angadam gandhamādanam, jāmbavantam susenam ca vegadarśinam eva ca/ maindam ca dvividam nīlam gavākṣam gajagomukhau, kesarim harilomānam vidyuddamstram ca vānaram/ sūryānanam jyotimukham tathā dadhimukham harim, pāvakākṣam nalam caiva kumudam caiva vānaram/prāsaih śūlaih śitair bānair indrajinmantrasamhitaih, vivvādha hariśārdūlān sarvāms tān rākṣasottamaḥ/ Once such aayudhas was shot down by him were further used having been laced with abhichaarika mantras too outstanding Vaanara veeraas like Hanuman, Sugriva, Angada, Gandhamaanana, Jambayan, Sushena, Vegadarsha, Mainda Dvivida, Neela, Gavaaksha, Gavaya, Kesari, Hariloma, Vidyudamshtra, Suryaananana, Jyotimukha, Dadhimukha, Paavakaaksha, Nala, Kumudaadi Maha Vanara Yoddhaas fell down hurt. sa bāṇavarṣair abhivarṣyamāṇo; dhārānipātān iva tān vicintya, samīksamānah paramādbhutaśrī; rāmas tadā laksmanam ity uyāca/ Having thus succeeded hurting maha vaanara warriors, Indrajit from somewhere on the skies roared megha garjana with 'vikata haasya avahelana' on Rama Lakshmanas and poured lightning like baana varsha and Rama then addressed Lakshmana: asau punar laksmana rāksasendro; brahmāstram āśritya surendraśatruh, nipātayitvā harisainyam ugram; asmāñ śarair ardayati prasaktam/svayambhuvā dattavaro mahātmā; kham āsthito 'ntarhitabhīmakāyah, katham nu śakyo yudhi nastadeho; nihantum adyendrajid udyatāstraḥ/ manye svayambhūr bhagavān acintyo; yasyaitad astram prabhavaś ca yo 'sya, bānāyapātāms tvam ihādva dhīman; mavā sahāvvagramanāh sahasva/ Lakshmama! That Indradrohi Rakshasa Raja Indrajit appears to have successfully distorted Vaanasa Veeraas now seeking to invoke Brahmastra on us as he is invisible to us and how indeed could we pay him back now! I am feeling somewhat dazed and you must be feeling increasingly senseless too. Swayayambhu Brahma Swarupa is unimaginable anyway as He is the Jagadaadi Moola Kaarana. Therefore buddhhimaan Sumitra Kumara! Be steady now quietly and face the consequence. tatas tu tāv indrajid astrajālair; babhūvatus tatra tadā viśastau, sa cāpi tau tatra visādayitvā; nanāda harsād yudhi rāksasendrah/ sa tat tadā vānararājasainyam; rāmam ca samkhye sahalaksmaņena, visādayitvā sahasā viveša; purīm dašagrīva bhujābhiguptām/ There Indrajit saw the sky darkened and poured baana samuhaa as both Rama Lakshmanas were made senseless, while Indrajit returned to Dashamukha who was immnensely relieved of his pent up feelings while Rakshasa Sena went berserk with excitement and Lankapuri got crazy dancing on the high roads and street corners too!

Sarga Seventy Four

As Vaanara Veeraas wondered with 'kam kartavya' as Rama Lakshmanas collapsed senseless, Jambavan advised of fetching Mrita Sanjivini off Himalayas which Hanuman did the glorious act successfully.

Tayos tadā sāditayo raṇāgre; mumoha sainyam hariyūthapānām, sugrīvanīlāngadajāmbavanto; na cāpi kim cit pratipedire te/ tato viṣaṇṇam samavekṣya sainyam; vibhīṣaṇo buddhimatām variṣṭhaḥ, uvāca śākhāmṛgarājavīrān; āśvāsayann apratimair vacobhiḥ/ mā bhaiṣṭa nāsty atra viṣādakālo; yad āryaputrāv avaśau viṣaṇṇau, svayambhuvo vākyam athodvahantau; yat sāditāv indrajidastrajālaiḥ/ tasmai tu dattam paramāstram etat; svayambhuvā brāhmam amoghavegam, tan mānayantau yadi rājaputrau; nipātitau ko 'tra viṣādakālaḥ/ brāhmam astram tadā dhīmān mānayitvā tu mārutiḥ, vibhīṣaṇavacaḥ śrutvā hanūmāms

tam athābravīt/ etasmin nihate sainye vānarānām tarasvinām, yo yo dhārayate prānāms tam tam āśvāsayāvahe/ tāv ubhau yugapad vīrau hanūmad rāksasottamau, ulkāhastau tadā rātrau ranasīrse viceratuḥ/ chinnalāṅgūlahastorupādāṅguli śiro dharaih, sravadbhiḥ kṣatajaṁ gātraih prasravadbhih samantataḥ/ patitaiḥ parvatākārair vānarair abhisamkulām, śastraiś ca patitair dīptair dadṛśāte vasumdharām/ sugrīvam angadam nīlam sarabham gandhamādanam, jāmbavantam susenam ca vegadarśanam āhukam/ maindam nalam jyotimukham dvividam panasam tathā, vibhīṣaṇo hanūmāmś ca dadṛśāte hatān raṇe/ saptaṣaṣṭir hatāḥ koṭyo vānarāṇām tarasvinām, ahnaḥ pañcamaśeṣeṇa vallabhena svayambhuvah/ sāgaraughanibham bhīmam dṛṣṭvā bāṇārditam balam, mārgate jāmbavantam sma hanūmān savibhīsanah/ svabhāvajarayā yuktam vrddham śaraśataiś citam, prajāpatisutam vīram śāmyantam iva pāvakam/ dṛstvā tam upasamgamya paulastyo vākyam abravīt, kaccid āryaśarais tīrsnair na prānā dhvamsitās tava/ vibhīsanavacah śrutvā jāmbavān rksapumgavah, krechrād abhyudgiran vākyam idam vacanam abravīt/ nairrtendramahāvīryasvarena tvābhilaksaye, pīdyamānah śitair bānair na tvām paśyāmi cakṣuṣā/ añjanā suprajā yena mātariśvā ca nairṛta, hanūmān vānaraśreṣṭhaḥ prāṇān dhārayate kva cit/ śrutvā jāmbavato vākyam uvācedam vibhīṣaṇaḥ, āryaputrāv atikramya kasmāt prcchasi mārutim/ naiva rājani sugrīve nāngade nāpi rāghave, ārva samdarsitah sneho vathā vāvusute parah/ vibhīsanavacah śrutvā jāmbavān vākyam abravīt, śrņu nairrtaśārdūla yasmāt prechāmi mārutim/ tasmiñ jīvati vīre tu hatam apy ahatam balam, hanūmaty ujjhitaprāņe jīvanto 'pi vayam hatāḥ/ dhriyate mārutis tāta mārutapratimo vadi, vaiśvānarasamo vīrve jīvitāśā tato bhavet/ tato vrddham upāgamya niyamenābhyavādayat, grhya jāmbavatah pādau hanūmān mārutātmajah/ śrutvā hanumato vākyam tathāpi vyathitendriyah, punarjātam ivātmānam sa mene rkṣapumgavah/ tato 'bravīn mahātejā hanūmantam sa jāmbavān, āgaccha hariśārdūlavānarāms trātum arhasi/ nānyo vikramaparyāptas tvam eşām paramah sakhā, tvatparākramakālo 'yam nānyam paśyāmi kañ cana/ rkṣavānaravīrāṇām anīkāni praharşaya, viśalyau kuru cāpy etau sāditau rāmalakşmaṇau/ gatvā paramam adhvānam upary upari sāgaram, himavantam nagaśrestham hanūman gantum arhasi/ tatah kāñcanam atyugram ṛsabham parvatottamam, kailāsaśikharam cāpi draksyasy arinisūdana/ tayoh śikharayor madhye pradīptam atulaprabham, sarvausadhiyutam vīra draksyasy ausadhiparvatam/ tasya vānaraśārdūlacatasro mūrdhni sambhavāḥ, drakṣyasy oṣadhayo dīptā dīpayantyo diśo daśa/ mṛtasamjīvanīm caiva viśalyakaraṇīm api, sauvarnakaranīm caiva samdhānīm ca mahausadhīm/ tāh sarvā hanuman grhya ksipram āgantum arhasi, āśvāsaya harīn prānair vojva gandhavahātmajah/ śrutvā jāmbavato vākvam hanūmān haripumgavah, āpūryata baloddharṣais toyavegair ivārṇavaḥ/ sa parvatataṭāgrasthaḥ pīḍayan parvatottaram,hanūmān drśyate vīro dvitīya iva parvatah/ haripādavinirbhinno nisasāda sa parvatah, na śaśāka tadātmānam sodhum bhrśanipīditah/ tasya petur nagā bhūmau harivegāc ca jajvaluh, śrṅgāni ca vyakīryanta pīditasya hanūmatā/ tasmin sampīdyamāne tu bhagnadrumaśilātale, na śekur vānarāh sthātum ghūrnamāne nagottame/ sa ghūrnitamahādvārā prabhagnagrhagopurā, laṅkā trāsākulā rātrau pranṛttevābhavat tadā/ pṛthivīdharasamkāśo nipīdya dharaṇīdharam, pṛthivīm kṣobhayām āsa sārṇavām mārutātmajaḥ/ padbhyām tu śailam āpīdya vadavāmukhavan mukham, vivrtyogram nanādoccais trāsayann iva rākṣasān/ tasya nānadyamānasya śrutvā ninadam adbhutam, lankāsthā rākṣasāh sarve na śekuh spanditum bhavāt/ namaskrtvātha rāmāya mārutir bhīmavikramah, rāghavārthe param karma samaihata paramtapah/ sa puccham udyamya bhujamgakalpam; vinamya pṛṣṭham śravaṇe nikuñcya, vivrtya vaktram vadavāmukhābham; āpupluve vyomni sa caņdavegah/ sa vrkṣaṣaṇdāms tarasā jahāra; śailāñ śilāh prākṛtavānarāṁś ca, bāhūruvegoddhatasaṁpranunnās; te ksīnavegāh salile nipetuh/ sa tau prasāryoragabhogakalpau; bhujau bhujamgārinikāśavīryaḥ, jagāma merum nagarājam agryam; diśaḥ prakarsann iva vāyusūnuh/ sa sāgaram ghūrnitavīcimālam; tadā bhršam bhrāmitasarvasattvam, samīkṣamāṇaḥ sahasā jagāma; cakram yathā viṣṇukarāgramuktam/ sa parvatān vṛkṣagaṇān sarāmsi; nadīs taṭākāni purottamāni, sphītāñjanāms tān api samprapaśyañ; jagāma vegāt pitṛtulyavegah/ ādityapatham āśritya jagāma sa gataśramaḥ, sa dadarśa hariśreṣṭho himavantaṁ nagottamam/ nānāprasravaņopetam bahukamdaranirjharam, śvetābhracayasamkāśaiḥ śikharaiś cārudarśanaiḥ/ sa tam samāsādya mahānagendram; atipravrddhottamaghoraśrngam, dadarśa punyāni mahāśramāni; surarsisamghottamasevitāni/ sa brahmakośam rajatālayam ca; śakrālayam rudraśarapramoksam,/ hayānanam brahmaśiraś ca dīptam; dadarśa vaivasvata kimkarāmś ca/vajrālayam vaiśvaraṇālayam ca; sūrvaprabham sūrvanibandhanam ca, brahmāsanam śamkarakārmukam ca; dadarśa nābhim ca

vasumdharāyāh/ kailāsam agryam himavacchilām ca; tatharsabham kāñcanaśailam agryam/ sa dīptasarvausadhisampradīptam; dadarśa sarvausadhiparvatendram/sa tam samīksyānalaraśmidīptam; visişmiye vāsavadūtasūnuh, āplutya tam cauşadhiparvatendram; tatrauşadhīnām vicayam cakāra/ sa yojanasahasrāṇi samatītya mahākapiḥ, divyauṣadhidharam śailam vyacaran mārutātmajaḥ/ mahausadhyas tu tāh sarvās tasmin parvatasattame, vijñāyārthinam āyāntam tato jagmur adarsanam/ sa tā mahātmā hanumān apasyams; cukopa kopāc ca bhṛsam nanāda, amṛṣyamāṇo 'gninikāsacakṣur; mahīdharendram tam uvāca vākyam/ kim etad evam suviniścitam te; yad rāghave nāsi kṛtānukampaḥ, paśyādya madbāhubalābhibhūto; yikīrnam ātmānam atho nagendra/ sa tasya śrngam sanagam sanāgam; sakāñcanam dhātusahasrajustam, vikīrnakūtam calitāgrasānum; pragrhya vegāt sahasonmamātha/ sa tam samutpātya kham utpapāta; vitrāsya lokān sasurān surendrān, samstūyamānah khacarair anekair; jagāma vegād garudogravīryah/ sa bhāskarādhvānam anuprapannas; tad bhāskarābham śikharam pragrhya, babhau tadā bhāskarasamnikāśo; raveh samīpe pratibhāskarābhah/ sa tena śailena bhrśam rarāja; śailopamo gandhavahātmajas tu, sahasradhāreņa sapāvakena; cakreņa khe visņur ivoddhṛtena/ tam vānarāh prekṣya tadā vineduh; sa tān api prekṣya mudā nanāda, teṣām samudghuṣṭaravam niśamya; laṅkālayā bhīmataraṁ vineduh/ tato mahātmā nipapāta tasmiñ; śailottame vānarasainyamadhye, haryuttamebhyaḥ śirasābhivādya; vibhīṣaṇam tatra ca sasvaje saḥ/ tāv apy ubhau mānuṣarājaputrau; tam gandham āghrāya mahauṣadhīnām, babhūvatus tatra tadā viśalyāv; uttasthur anye ca haripravīrāh/ tato harir gandhavahātmajas tu; tam osadhīśailam udagravīryah, nināva vegād dhimavantam eva; punaś ca rāmena samājagāma/

As both Rama Lakshmanas were tied together senseless by Indrajit's brahmastra, the Vaanara Bhalluka yoddhaas like Sugriva, Neela, Angada, and Jambavaan were huddled together puzzled with 'kim kartavya'! Then Vibhishana broke the silence stating that that after all was not the end of the world any way and assured them all: 'Vaanara Veeraas! Never get disheartened in this manner and this is such a critical moment that one would need to face with determination and resolve. After all, Rama Lakshmanas are in a senseless condition but happily alive. Swayambhu Brahma did provide Indrajit the potent most brahmaastra which got the maha purushas temporarily senseless and one would need to negate its temporary spell by seeking and exporing means to negate.' Then Hanuman addressed Vibhishana: 'Rakshasa Raja! I do heartily endorse and appreaciate your sense of determination instead exploring ways and means and share our assurances too'. That was the time of nightfall dusk when there was no rakshasa sanchaara as they ought to be celebrating victory. Hence Vaanara Veeraas though physically hurt somewhat could fortify themselves with mental resolve. Then Vibhishana and Hanuman witnessed Sugriva, Angada, Neela, Sharabha, Gandamaadana, Jambavaan, Sushena, Vegadarshi, Mainda, Nala, Jyotirmukha and Dvivida were in their respective conditions of being rather badly hurt. Vibhishana in that sandhaakaala's dim light recognised Jambavan and said: Arya! Hope you are not so grievously hurt! Jambavan replied: 'Rakshasa Raja, I am able to recognise you only my your voice and my eyes also not enabling to see you due to pain; hope veera Anjaana Vaayu Putra Hanuman is alright! Then Hanuman reached and touched him tenderly and with renewed vigour Jambaan fondled Hanumaan with reciprocative gesture and stated: Vaanara Simha! This precisely is the perfect time to save the prestige of we vaanara bhallukaas which even devatas too are unaware of. This is the most critical mode of this crisis as caused by Rama Lakshmanas are to be saved by removing the bragmastra baana. gatvā paramam adhvānam uparv upari sāgaram, himavantam nagaśrestham hanūman gantum arhasi/ tatah kāñcanam atyugram rsabham parvatottamam, kailāsaśikharam cāpi draksyasy arinisūdana/ tayoh śikharayor madhye pradīptam atulaprabham, sarvauṣadhiyutam vīra drakṣyasy auṣadhiparvatam/ Veera Hanuman! Do fly across the maha Samudra and seek to reach the Himalaya Parvata Shreni. Shatru Sudana! On reaching there you would endeavour to sight the suvanamaya Rishabha and Kailasa shikhara darshana. Veera! there between both these mountain shikharaas there is a glittering Mahoshadhi Parvata could be sighted and there would be ever radiant mahoushadhis are aplenty. tasya vānaraśārdūlacatasro mūrdhni sambhavāh, draksyasy osadhayo dīptā dīpayantyo diśo daśa/ mrtasamjīvanīm caiva viśalyakaraṇīm api, sauvarṇakaraṇīm caiva samdhānīm ca mahauṣadhīm/ tāḥ sarvā hanuman grhya ksipram āgantum arhasi, āśvāsaya harīn prānair vojya gandhayahātmajah/ Vaana simha! On that parvata

shikhara there are four life saving mahoshdhis named Mrita Sajeevani-Vishalyakarani-Suvarna karani and Sandhaayani. Hanuman Pavana Kumara! Try to secure these mahoshadhis at the earliest and fly back to this very spot and promise the praana daana to assert the pride and indelible glory of Vaanaras for generations now and forever. No sooner that Veeraanjaneya heard this that the most experienced bhallula pitaamaha Jambayan detailed than he crossed the mahaa saagara and got dropped on earth as mahaa vrikshas were shattered, parvata shikharaas crumbled and mountains too quaked. Parvataakara Pavana Kumara Hanuman then reached Malaya parvata shikhara. Then there were huge vrishkas, maha sarovaraas where Deva Gandharvas visit often as that was of the area of about sixty vojanaas. Vidyaadhara- Rishi Muni Apsaras reside there with comfort with mriga samuhas in the mountain caves. Pavana kumara Hanuman witnessed groups of Yaksha, Gandharva, Kinnaraas were upset by his gigantic vaanara's sudden appearance. From there, he extended his hands and shoulders like Garuda Deva pushing down dasha dishas and flew up in the high skies towards Himalaya ranges with alarming speed even as the jala jantu samuhas of the Maha Samudra were alarmed. sa parvatān vṛkṣaganān sarāmsi; nadīs tatākāni purottamāni, sphītāñjanāms tān api samprapasyan; jagāma vegāt pitrtulyavegah/ādityapatham āśritva jagāma sa gataśramah, sa dadarśa hariśrestho himavantam nagottamam/ nānāprasravanopetam bahukamdaranirjharam, śvetābhracayasamkāśaiḥ śikharaiś cārudarśanaiḥ/ Veeraanjaneya's momentum and velocity was truly like his inheritence from his father Vayu Deva, swiftly crossing parvatas, birds, sarovaraas, rivers, nagaris, samruddha jaanapadas, and so on. Veera Hanuman was also like of his father's parakrama vegashaali followed Surya maarga and like Surya Vayus never tired too. Remembering the valuable words of Jambavan; he got quick glimpses of Himalaya ranges, deep caves, shikharas shrouded by clouds, the prakrita soundarya of green tall vrishas and bushes and reached there comfortably. sa tam samāsādya mahānagendram; atipravrddhottamaghorasrngam, dadarsa puņyāni mahāsramāni; surarsisamghottamasevitāni/ sa brahmakośam rajatālayam ca; śakrālayam rudraśarapramoksam,/ hayānanam brahmasiras ca dīptam; dadarsa vaivasvata kimkarāms ca/vajrālayam vaisvaranālayam ca; sūryaprabham sūryanibandhanam ca, brahmāsanam śamkarakārmukam ca; dadarśa nābhim ca vasumdharāyāh/ kailāsam agryam himavacchilām ca; tatharsabham kāñcanaśailam agryam/This Maha Pravata Raja shikharas were glittering like gold and Anjaneya notices parama pavitra ashramas where devarshi samudaayaas reside with rising flames of homa prakriyas. It was on that sprawling mountain range is stated as that of Hiranyagarbha Brahma Bhagavan's 'nivasa sthaana'as his alternate 'rajatanaabhi sthaana' and Indra bhavana too. It was also believed as the very place from where Rudra Deva released his mighty arrow against Tripuraasuraas, also the vaasa sthaana of Bhagavan Hayagriva abd Yama Raja Sevaka nivasa too. Hanuman also witnessed passingly the glimpses of the nivaasa sthaanaas of Agni Deva, Kubera, Dwaadssha Suryas too as also of the places of Chaturmukha Brahma, Shiva Dhanush, Vasundhara naabhi sthaanaas too. Then Veeranjaneya was able to spot out Kailaasha Parvata, Himalaya Shila, Shiva vaahana vrishasha and suvarnamaya Rishabha Parvata.sa dīptasarvausadhisampradīptam; dadarśa sarvauşadhiparvatendram/sa tam samīkṣyānalaraśmidīptam; visiṣmiye vāsavadūtasūnuh, āplutya tam cauşadhiparvatendram; tatrauşadhīnām vicayam cakāra/ sa yojanasahasrāni samatītya mahākapih, divyausadhidharam sailam vyacaran mārutātmajah/ sa parvatān vrksaganān sarāmsi; nadīs tatākāni purottamāni, sphītāñjanāms tān api samprapaśvañ; jagāma vegāt pitrtulvavegah/ Then Maha -Kapi readily spotted the flashes of dazzle and sparckle of mahoshadhis. He saw the 'agniraashi samaana parvata' and was greatly surprised and jumped off once ar the parvata raja and looked for the afore mentioned divoushadhis by Jambavaan. But, having noted that the mountain top was of sprawling saharra yojanas and was unable to distinguish the specific aoushadhis. sa tā mahātmā hanumān apaśyamś; cukopa kopāc ca bhṛśam nanāda, amṛṣyamāṇo 'gninikāśacakṣur; mahīdharendram tam uvāca vākyam/ kim etad evam suviniścitam te; yad rāghave nāsi kṛtānukampaḥ, paśyādya madbāhubalābhibhūto; vikīrṇam ātmānam atho nagendra/ sa tasya śṛṅgaṁ sanagaṁ sanāgaṁ; sakāñcanaṁ dhātusahasra juṣṭam, vikīrṇakūṭam calitāgrasānum; pragṛhya vegāt sahasonmamātha/ sa tam samutpāṭya kham utpapāta: vitrāsva lokān sasurān surendrān, samstūvamānah khacarair anekair: jagāma vegād garudogravīryah/ As it was not possible to do so, Hanuman was frustrated and got angry and made simhagarjanas and with his red looks addressed the parvata raja. 'Nagendra! You seem not to cooperate for the revivl of Shri Rama Lakshmanas who are indeed the yuga purushas. Now get ready to test my

'baahu bala'. Having asserted so, Veera Hanuman held the Maha Parvata Shikhara along with all the dhaatus intact yet with maha vrikshas, elephants and so on and pulled it out with his unimaginable physical grit and grip as the samasta loka vaasis were frightened having been taken aback bewildered and flew off like Garuda Deva as all the celestial beings shovered praises on the Vayu putra's daring escapade.sa bhāskarādhvānam anuprapannas; tad bhāskarābham śikharam pragrhya, babhau tadā bhāskarasamnikāśo; raveḥ samīpe pratibhāskarābhaḥ/Following the Surya Marga, like Surya Himself, Pavana Putra lifed the Sanjeevani Parvata right on his massive shoulders. Then Hanuman too was looking like one parvata carrying another parvata. tam vānarāh preksya tadā vineduh; sa tān api preksya mudā nanāda, tesām samudghustaravam niśamya; lankālayā bhīmataram vineduh/ Awaiting long all throught the night for the arrival of Anjaneya, the desperate Vaanara Bhalluka Sena especially the stalwarts like Sugriva-Angada-Jambavaan- Vishishana were overwhelmed the Parvata samaana Veeraanjaneya having placed the Mahoshadhi Parvata with the Mrita Sanjeevani and the other herbal plants to revive Rama Lakskmanas lying unconscious overnight. tato mahātmā nipapāta tasmiñ; śailottame vānarasainya madhye, haryuttamebhyah śirasābhivādya; vibhīṣaṇam tatra ca sasvaje saḥ/ tāv apy ubhau mānusarājaputrau; tam gandham āghrāva mahausadhīnām, babhūvatus tatra tadā viśalvāv; uttasthur anye ca haripravīrāh/ tato harir gandhavahātmajas tu; tam oṣadhīśailam udagravīryaḥ, nināya vegād dhimavantam eva; punaś ca rāmeṇa samājagāma/Then Hanuman placed the Mahoushadhi Parvata atop Trikuta Parvata where Vaanara Bhalluks Veeraas were anxiously awaiting all through the night, greeted Jambavan, Vibhishana and Vaanara pramuhkas who were truly enraptured and mesmerised with such inexpresible and overwhelming feat of the hero and embraced the outstanding Vanara of eternal fame. Then they had all got collected the 'murcchita dehas' of Rama Lakshmanas and applied the 'sugandha vilepana' and in seconds and minutes, Rama Lakshmanas stood up erect and soon enough, the 'maantrika baanaas' were removed as of normal physiques. Then Prachanda Pavana Kumaara Hanuman gave a massive thrust and lashed off the Mahoushadhi Parvataa to reach back to the Himaalayan Range.

Sarga Seventy Five

<u>Sugriva being relieved of Rama Lakshmana's revival, ordered Vanaras to break into Lankapuri and terrorise Rakshasas with flames- Ravana instructed Kumbhakarna Putras, Kumbha Nikumbhas, to attack.</u>

Tato 'bravīn mahātejāḥ sugrīvo vānarādhipaḥ, arthyam vijāpayams cāpi hanūmantam mahābalam/ yato hatah kumbhakarnah kumārāś ca nisūditāh, nedānīm upanirhāram rāvano dātum arhati/ ye ye mahābalāh santi laghavas ca plavamgamāh, lankām abhyutpatantv āsu grhyolkāh plavagarsabhāh/ tato 'stam gata āditye raudre tasmin niśāmukhe, lankām abhimukhāḥ solkā jagmus te plavagarṣabhāḥ/ ulkāhastair harigaṇaiḥ sarvataḥ samabhidrutāḥ, ārakṣasthā virūpākṣāḥ sahasā vipradudruvuḥ/ gopurāţţa pratolīşu caryāsu vividhāsu ca, prāsādeşu ca samhrstāh sasrjus te hutāsanam teşām grhasahasrāni dadāha hutabhuk tadā, āvāsān rāksasānām ca sarvesām grhamedhinām/ hemacitratanutrānām sragdāmāmbaradhārinām, sīdhupānacalāksānām madavihvalagāminām/ kāntālambitavastrāṇām śatrusamjātamanyunām, gadāśūlāsi hastānām khādatām pibatām api/ śayaneṣu mahārhesu prasuptānām priyaih saha, trastānām gacchatām tūrnam putrān ādāya sarvatah/ tesām grhasahasrāni tadā lankānivāsinām, adahat pāvakas tatra jajvāla ca punah punah/ sāravanti mahārhāni gambhīragunavanti ca, hemacandrārdhacandrāni candraśālonnatāni ca/ratnacitragavāksāni sādhiṣṭhānāni sarvaśaḥ, maṇividrumacitrāṇi spṛśantīva ca bhāskaram/ krauñcabarhiṇavīṇānām bhūṣaṇānām ca nisvanaiḥ, nāditāny acalābhāni veśmāny agnir dadāha saḥ/ jvalanena parītāni toraṇāni cakāśire, vidyudbhir iva naddhāni meghajālāni gharmage/ vimāneşu prasuptāś ca dahyamānā varānganāḥ, tyaktābharaṇasamyogā hāhety uccair vicukruśaḥ/ tatra cāgniparītāni nipetur bhavanāny api, vajrivajrahatānīva śikharāni mahāgireh/ tāni nirdahyamānāni dūratah pracakāśire, himavacchikharānīva dīptausadhivanāni ca/harmyāgrair dahyamānais ca jvālāprajvalitair api, rātrau sā dṛśyate laṅkā puṣpitair iva kiṁśukaiḥ/ hastyadhyakṣair gajair muktair muktaiś ca turagair api, babhūva lankā lokānte bhrāntagrāha ivārnavah/ aśvam muktam gajo drstvā kaccid bhīto 'pasarpati,

bhīto bhītam gajam drstvā kva cid aśvo nivartate/ sā babhūva muhūrtena haribhir dīpitā purī, lokasyāsya ksaye ghore pradīpteva vasumdharā/ nārī janasya dhūmena vyāptasyoccair vinedusah, svano jvalanataptasya śuśruve daśayojanam/ pradagdhakāyān aparān rākṣasān nirgatān bahiḥ, sahasābhyutpatanti sma harayo 'tha yuyutsavaḥ/ udghuṣṭam vānarāṇām ca rākṣasānām ca nisvanaḥ, diśo daśa samudram ca prthivīm cānvanādayat/viśalyau tu mahātmānau tāv ubhau rāmalaksmanau, asambhrāntau jagrhatus tāv ubhau dhanuṣī vare/ tato visphārayāṇasya rāmasya dhanur uttamam, babhūva tumulah sabdo rākṣasānām bhayāvahah/ asobhata tadā rāmo dhanur visphārayan mahat, bhagavān iva samkruddho bhavo vedamayam dhanuh/ vānarodghustaghosas ca rāksasānām ca nisvanah, jyāśabdaś cāpi rāmasya trayam vyāpa diśo daśa/ tasya kārmukamuktaiś ca śarais tatpuragopuram, kailāsasrngapratimam vikīrņam apatad bhuvi/ tato rāmasarān drstvā vimānesu grhesu ca, samnāho rāksasendrānām tumulah samapadyata/ tesām samnahyamānānām simhanādam ca kurvatām, sarvarī rāksasendrānām raudrīva samapadyata/ ādistā vānarendrās te sugrīvena mahātmanā, āsannā dvāram āsādya yudhyadhvam plavagarṣabhāh/ yaś ca vo vitatham kuryāt tatra tatra vyavasthitah, sa hantavyo 'bhisamplutya rājaśāsanadūṣakaḥ/teṣu vānaramukhyeṣu dīptolkojjvalapāṇiṣu,sthiteṣu dvāram āsādya rāvaṇam manyur āviśat/ tasya jṛmbhitavikṣepād vyāmiśrā vai diśo daśa, rūpavān iva rudrasya manyur gātreṣv adṛṣṣyata/ sa nikumbham ca kumbham ca kumbhakarṇātmajāv ubhau, preṣayām āsa samkruddho rākṣasair bahubhiḥ saha/ śaśāsa caiva tān sarvān rākṣasān rākṣaseśvaraḥ, rākṣasā gacchatātraiva simhanādam ca nādayan/ tatas tu coditās tena rāksasā įvalitāyudhāh. lankāyā niryayur vīrāh pranadantah punah punah/bhīmāśvarathamātamgam nānāpatti samākulam, dīptaśūlagadākhaḍgaprāsatomarakārmukam/ tad rākṣasabalaṁ ghoraṁ bhīmavikramapauruṣam, dadṛśe jvalitaprāsam kinkiņīśatanāditam/ hemajālācitabhujam vyāvestitaparaśvadham, vyāghūrņitamahāśastram bāṇasamsaktakārmukam/ gandhamālyamadhūtsekasammodita mahānilam, ghoram śūrajanākīrnam mahāmbudharanisvanam/ tam drstvā balam āyāntam rāksasānām sudārunam, samcacāla plavamgānām balam uccair nanāda ca/javenāplutva ca punas tad rāksasabalam mahat, abhyayāt pratyaribalam patamga iva pāvakam/ tesām bhujaparāmarśavyāmrstaparighāśani, rāksasānām balam śreṣṭham bhūyastaram aśobhata/ tathaivāpy apare teṣām kapīnām asibhiḥ śitaiḥ, pravīrān abhito jaghnur ghorarūpā niśācarāḥ/ ghnantam anyam jaghānānyah pātayantam apātayat, garhamāṇam jagarhānye daśantam apare 'daśat/ dehīty anye dadāty anyo dadāmīty aparaḥ punaḥ, kim kleśayasi tiṣṭheti tatrānyonyam babhāṣire/ samudyatamahāprāsam muṣṭiśūlāsisamkulam, prāvartata mahāraudram yuddham vānararakṣasām/ vānarān daśa sapteti rākṣasā abhyapātayan, rākṣasān daśasapteti vānarā jaghnur āhave/ visrastakeśarasanam vimuktakavacadhvajam,balam rāksasam ālambya vānarāh paryavāravan/

Then the enormoulsy excited Vaanara Raja Sugriva at the unbelievable act of rescuscitating Rama Lakshmanas by the 'mahoushadhis' fetched by the gallantry and the grit of Veeranjanyeya, asked the latter as to what should be the next forward step. He said: 'Kumbhakarna was dead, Ravana Putras were eliminated, yet Lankapuri raksha is still pending. Hence Vanara Veeras should now attack forthwith. Thus as per the directive of Sugriva, Vaanara Yoddhas took up their weapons like Dwadasha Adiyas and Ekaaditya Rudras at the pradosha kaala of the day fall. They attacked thousands of the houses of Lankapuri indiscriminately and devastated the doors, windows, raaja margaas while the residents were raising hue and cry responses which had gladdened the vaanaras with jumping joys and vicarious shouts and further by throwings of fire balls which had burnt off valuable jewellery, silks, precious clothings, comfortable beds and various luxuries of happy livings to heaps of ash. So were the aabhushanas of horses, elephants, chariots, kavachas, khadga, dhanush, pratyancha, ankusha, shakti, vyagracharmasanaas, mani bhushana, and various types of astra shastras as the ready targets of agni deva. In the course of the attacks, elephants, horses, donkeys were all killed with heavy rocks and huge trees and the 'mahaakrandanaas' of the frightened Lankapuri citizens, espcially the houswives, broke out helter skelter in dasha dishaas. Vaanara garjanas and the akrandanaas of the citizens far surpassed the samudra taranga mahaaghosha. But then the Rakshasa warriors had then received the alert signals from their respective senapatis and the initial vaanara sena's wanton provocations led to an open battle. Then the rejuvenated Shri Rama Lakshmanas sounded his 'dhanushthankaara' just as Shankara was enraged while attacking

Tripuraasiras. [Refer Vishleshana vide Sarga 52 of Essence of Valmiki Sundara Ramayana] Vaanara garjanas and Rakshasa kolaahala was indeed more profound in Shri Rama 'dhanusthankaara' as overheard in dasha dishas. Rama baanaas fell right at the nagara dwaara like kailaasa shikhara crashed on 'bhutala'. On noticing this, Rakshasa Veeraas hurried up readied for a great battle ahead as they were facing a kaala raatri. Then Sugriva alerted his maha vaanara veeraas to reach the entry doors of Lankapuri. Accordingly Vaanara veeraas made strong holds of lit up handles of huge flames and were readied to break in the gates and on knowing about these developments, Ravana got truly infuriated and instructed Kumbhakarna Putras named Kumbha and Nikumbha and yelled: 'Veera Nishaacharaas! Right through this 'kaala raatri' get ready for the big battle.' As par Ravana's instructions Maha Rakshasaas Yupaaksha, Shonitaaksha, Prajangha and Kampana too were despatched. Rakshasa Maha bhayankara Sena with glittering ayudhhas and dhanur baanaas attacked seated on horses and chariots with elevated dhwajas while Vanaraas were well equipped with vrishas and heavy stones. Some of mountain sized Vanara Shreshtas utilised 'mushti ghaatas' truly negating 'aayudha ghaataas'. tesām bhujaparāmarśa vvāmrstaparighāśani, rāksasānām balam śrestham bhūvastaram aśobhata/ As Rakasa soldiers were revlying their parighas and ashanis, vaanaras were responding with tossings of trees and rocks besides mushti ghaataas. dehīty anye dadāty anyo dadāmīty aparah punah, kim kleśayasi tiştheti tatrānyonyam babhāşire/samudyatamahāprāsam muşţiśūlāsisamkulam, prāvartata mahāraudram yuddham vānararaksasām/ vānarān daśa sapteti rāksasā abhyapātayan, rāksasān daśasapteti vānarā jaghnur āhave/ visrastakeśarasanam vimuktakavaca -dhvajam,balam rāksasam ālambya vānarāh paryavārayan/ As one demands asserting 'fight with me', another challenges too and the third one says 'don't you worry, I should take care of him'! Like wise they keep displaying mutual upmanship. Thus nishaacharaas with doubled up egos keep flinging astra shastras as vaanaraas defend and offend outsmarting each other leasing to survivals ot deaths. At the end of the night, rakshassas found their dresses torn off, kavachas were broken into and radha dwajas crumbled down as vaanaraas surrounded them and pounded the rakshasas and forced them to retreat or expose themselves with 'praana haani'.

Sarga Seveny Six

As Angada destroyed Rakashas Kampana and Prajanghaka, Dvivida killed Shonitaakshaka, Mainda uprooted Yupaksha and Sugriva's 'mushti ghaatas' demolished Kumbhaasura

Pravrtte samkule tasmin ghore vīrajanakṣaye, angadaḥ kampanam vīram āsasāda raṇotsukaḥ/āhūya so 'ngadam kopāt tādayām āsa vegitah, gadayā kampanah pūryam sa cacāla bhrśāhatah/ sa samjñām prāpya tejasvī ciksepa śikharam gireh, arditaś ca prahārena kampanah patito bhuvi/ hatapravīrā vyathitā rākṣasendracamūs tadā, jagāmābhimukhī sā tu kumbhakarṇasuto yataḥ, āpatantīm ca vegena kumbhas tām sāntvayac camūm/ sa dhanur dhanvinām śreṣṭḥaḥ pragrhya susamāhitaḥ, mumocāśīviṣaprakhyāñ śarān dehavidāraṇān/ tasya tac chuśubhe bhūyaḥ saśaram dhanur uttamam, vidyudairāvatārciṣmad dvitīvendradhanur vathā/ākarnakrstamuktena jaghāna dvividam tadā, tena hātakapunkhena patrinā patravāsasā/ sahasābhihatas tena vipramuktapadah sphuran, nipapātādrikūtābho vihvalah plavagottamaḥ/ maindas tu bhrātaram dṛṣṭvā bhagnam tatra mahāhave, abhidudrāva vegena pragṛhya mahatīm śilām/ tām śilām tu praciksepa rāksasāya mahābalah, bibheda tām śilām kumbhah prasannaih pañcabhih śaraih/ samdhāya cānyam sumukham śaram āśīvisopamam/ ājaghāna mahātejā vaksasi dvividāgrajam/ sa tu tena prahārena maindo vānarayūthapah, marmany abhihatas tena papāta bhuvi mūrchitah/ angado mātulau drstvā patitau tau mahābalau, abhidudrāva vegena kumbham udyatakārmukam/ tam āpatantam vivyādha kumbhaḥ pañcabhir āyasaiḥ, tribhiś cānyaiḥ śitair bāṇair mātamgam iva tomaraih/ so 'ngadam vividhair bānaih kumbho vivyādha vīryavān, akunthadhārair niśitais tīkṣṇaiḥ kanakabhūṣaṇaiḥ/ aṅgadaḥ pratividdhāṅgo vāliputro na kampate, śilāpādapavarṣāṇi tasya mūrdhni vavarsa ha/ sa praciccheda tān sarvān bibheda ca punah śilāh, kumbhakarnātmajah śrīmān vāliputrasamīritān/āpatantam ca sampreksya kumbho vānarayūthapam, bhruvor vivyādha bāṇābhyām ulkābhyām iva kuñjaram/ aṅgadaḥ pāṇinā netre pidhāya rudhirokṣite, sālam āsannam ekena parijagrāha pāninā/ tam indraketupratimam vrksam mandarasamnibham, samutsrjantam vegena

paśyatām sarvaraksasām/sa ciccheda śitair bānaih saptabhih kāyabhedanaih, aṅgado vivyathe 'bhīkṣṇam sasāda ca mumoha ca/ aṅgadam vyathitam dṛṣṭvā sīdantam iva sāgare, durāsadam hariśresthā rāghavāya nyavedayan/ rāmas tu vyathitam śrutvā vāliputram mahāhave, vyādideśa hariśresthāñ jāmbavatpramukhāms tatah/ te tu vānaraśārdūlāh śrutvā rāmasya śāsanam, abhipetuh susamkruddhāh kumbham udvatakārmukam/ tato drumašilāhastāh kopasamraktalocanāh, riraksisanto 'bhyapatann angadam vānararṣabhāh/ jāmbavām's ca suṣeṇa's ca vegadar'sī ca vānaraḥ, kumbhakarṇātmajam vīram kruddhāḥ samabhidudruvuḥ/ samīkṣyātatatas tāms tu vānarendrān mahābalān, āvavāra śaraughena nageneva jalāśavam/ tasva bānacavam prāpya na śoker ativartitum, vānarendrā mahātmāno velām iva mahodadhih/ tāms tu drstvā hariganāñ śaravrstibhir arditān, angadam prsthatah krtvā bhrātrjam plavageśvarah/ abhidudrāva vegena sugrīvah kumbham āhave, śailasānu caram nāgam vegavān iva kesarī/ utpātya ca mahāśailān aśvakarnān dhavān bahūn, anyāms ca vividhān vṛksāmś ciksepa ca mahābalah/ tām chādayantīm ākāśam vṛksavṛstim durāsadām, kumbhakarnātmajah śrīmāmś ciccheda niśitaiḥ śaraiḥ/ abhilakṣyeṇa tīvreṇa kumbhena niśitaiḥ śaraiḥ, ācitās te drumā rejur yathā ghorāh śataghnayah/drumavarṣam tu tac chinnam dṛṣṭvā kumbhena vīryavān, vānarādhipatih śrīmān mahāsattyo na vivyathe/ nirbhidyamānah sahasā sahamānaś ca tāñ śarān,kumbhasya dhanur ākṣipya babhañjendradhanuḥprabham/ avaplutya tataḥ śīghraṁ kṛtvā karma suduṣkaram, abravīt kupitah kumbham bhagnasrngam iva dvipam/ nikumbhāgraja vīryam te bānavegam tad adbhutam, samnatiś ca prabhāvaś ca tava vā rāvanasya vā/ prahrādabalivṛtraghnakuberavarunopama, ekas tvam anujāto 'si pitaram balavattarah/ tvām evaikam mahābāhum sūlahastam arimdamam, tridasā nātivartante jitendriyam ivādhayaḥ/ varadānāt pitrvyas te sahate devadānavān, kumbhakarnas tu vīryena sahate ca surāsurān/ dhanuṣīndrajitas tulyaḥ pratāpe rāvaṇasya ca, tvam adya rakṣasām loke śreṣṭho 'si balavīryataḥ/ mahāvimardam samare mayā saha tavādbhutam, adya bhūtāni paśyantu śakraśambarayor iva/ krtam apratimam karma darśitam cāstrakauśalam, pātitā harivīrāś ca tvayaite bhīmavikramāh/ upālambhabhayāc cāpi nāsi vīra mayā hatah, kṛtakarmā pariśrānto viśrāntah paśya me balam/ tena sugrīvavākyena sāvamānena mānitah, agner ājyahutasyeva tejas tasyābhyavardhata/ tatah kumbhah samutpatya sugrīvam abhipadya ca, ājaghānorasi kruddho vajravegena muṣṭinā/ tasya carma ca pusphoṭa samjajñe cāsya śoṇitam, sa ca muṣṭir mahāvegaḥ pratijaghne 'sthimaṇḍale/ tadā vegena tatrāsīt tejah prajvālitam muhuh, vairanispesasamjātajvālā merau vathā girau/ sa tatrābhihatas tena sugrīvo vānararsabhah, mustim samvartavām āsa vajrakalpam mahābalah/ arcihsahasravikacam ravimaṇḍalasaprabham, sa muṣṭim pātayām āsa kumbhasyorasi vīryavān/ muṣṭinābhihatas tena nipapātāśu rāksasah, lohitānga ivākāśād dīptaraśmir yadrcchayā/ kumbhasya patato rūpam bhagnasyorasi mustinā, babhau rudrābhipannasya yathārūpam gavām pateh/ tasmin hate bhīmaparākramena; plavamgamānām rsabhena yuddhe, mahī saśailā savanā cacāla; bhayam ca raksāmsy adhikam viveśa/

As Rakshasa-Vaanara warriors were engaged in maha sangraama, Angada faced Kampana as the latter readily mada a gada prahara at once while Angada tried to retaliate but failed and fell down unconscious but soon enough recovered and lifted a parvata shikhara and banged Kampana and the latter was hurt with blood was flowing and eventually collapsed and succumbed to death. Noticing that Kamapana was dead, Shonitaaksaha seated on his chariot attacked Angada with fierce 'kalaagni samaana baana parampara' named 'kshura' with upper nail, 'kshurapra' the 'ardhachandraakaara baana'm 'naaraacha' complete iron from top to bottom, 'vastsadanta' or like of calf teeth, 'shili mukha' or goat head, 'karni' or of like the earshaped top, 'Shalya' like the forehead shaped astra and 'vipaatha' of the shape of kaner tree leaf. With such potent arrowes, Angada was hurt severely. Meanwhile nishaachara Shonitaaksha jumped off from his chariot and attacked with his sword, while kapikunjara Angada seized that very sword hit the rakshasa's shoulder and hurt him. But Rakshasas Prjanghaka and Upaaksha attacked Valiputra Angada. Shonikaksha too after recovery joined the rakshasa veeraas. Between Shonitaaksha and Prajangha was looking bright like full Moon among the nakshatras fightly desperately Meanwhile however, Vanara Pramukhas Mainda and Dvivida appeared to help Angada as they too were seeking to located worthy Raksasaas to fight against. The threesome vaanara yoddhas of Angada-Mainda-Dvivida attacked Prajangha Rakshasa. Angada hurled Ashvakarna vriksha and also simultaneously smashesd a fistful kick

by which Prajangha fell down dead. As he found his uncle dead on the battle field, Yupaksha shed tears yet having been enraged attacked Dvivida and the latter with great presence of time kicked the Rakshasa Yupaksha and held him tight. Now both Yukaksha ans Shonitaaksha fought with Mainda and Dvivida. Parakrami Dvivida pierced through the face of Shonikaksha who fell down to the earth and Mainda with his parakrani hastas made Yupakssha downed likewise. Then the Raksha sena was alarmed as Angada desrroyed by Kampana and Prajanghaka, Dvivida killed Shonitaaksha, Mainda finished off Yupaaksha in quick succession and too to heels. But Kumbhakarna Putra Kumbha halted the retreat of Rakshasaas by inspiring them to face the enemy with gusto. He raised his dhanush baanaas and released astra varshas and hit Dvivida Vaanara Veera who fell down grievously injured. Then as Trikutaparvata samana vishalakaaya Dvidida fell down with streached legs, his brother Mainda had instantly raised a maha shila and chased Kumbha Rakshasa who with his arrowes broke the boulder to pieces. Even as Kumbha sought to set a vishadhara sarpa type of arrow and released on Mainda, whose chest was ingured deeply and fell down unconscious. Mainda and Dvivida were Angada's uncle and the latter attacked Kumbha Rakshasa. But Kumbha released theree high potency mantra poorva baanaas and got Angada shareera encircled tightly. But Vaaliputra Angada was not shaken off his high morale and getting released from the grip of the Kumbha Rakshasa baanaas, had initiated maha vriksha varsha although Kumbha made pieces of the vtikshas and resorted back to his baana varsha on Angada who fell senseless. angadam vyathitam dṛṣṭvā sīdantam iva sāgare, durāsadam hariśresthā rāghavāya nyavedayan/ rāmas tu vyathitam śrutvā vāliputram mahāhave, vyādideša hariśresthāñ jāmbavatpramukhāms tatah/ te tu vānaraśārdūlāh śrutvā rāmasya śāsanam, abhipetuḥ susamkruddhāḥ kumbham udyatakārmukam/ As durjaya veera Angada was sinking like earth rolling down in a maha samudra with unconsciousness, Shri Rama suggested Jambavan and and such vaanara veeraas to intervene. tato drumaśilāhastāḥ kopasamraktalocanāḥ, rirakṣiṣanto 'bhyapatann angadam vānararsabhāh/ jāmbavām's ca susenas ca vegadar'sī ca vānarah, kumbha karnātmajam vīram kruddhāh samabhidudruvuh/Then pramukha vaanaraas like Jambavan, Sushena and Vegadarshani uprooted huge boulders and attacked Kumbha. Then Sugriva realising that his own brother's son assisted by Ashwakarna and other vaanara yoddhhas initiated maha vriksha prahaasaas unendingly while Sugriva jumped right into the chariot of Kumbha Rakshasa and pulled off the latter's dhanush baanaas to pieces. He shouted on Kumbha saying: 'your 'hasta laaghava' in releasing baana varshaas is no doubt appreciable like Indra, Varuna, Prahlada, and Bali. Yet, you may also like you to sample my bala paraakrama in a dwandwa yuddha too.' Then Kumbha was incensed like agni jwaala and held Sugriva's maha bhujas, while their 'padaabhigaatas' and seeking to bend each other's gigantic bodies were like two agni jwaalaas against each other. tatah kumbhah samutpatya sugrīvam abhipadya ca, ājaghānorasi kruddho vajravegena muṣṭinā/ Then suddenly Sugriva lifted up the mountain like physique adroitly with extreme precision and ingenuity and tossed right in to the roaring maha samudra. As Kumbha was hurled likewise, the jala raashis in the Maha Samudra rose up high like a vindhya samaana or of mandaraachalas were sunk into the depths of the Samudra. sa tatrābhihatas tena sugrīvo vānararşabhaḥ, muṣṭim samvartayām āsa vajrakalpam mahābalaḥ/arciḥsahasravikacam ravimandalasaprabham, sa mustim pātavām āsa kumbhasvorasi vīrvavān/ Sa tu tna prahaarena vikvalo bhrusha peeditah, nipataata tadaa Kumbho gataarchiriya paayakah/ Even so Kumbha jumped high and out of the Samudra and hit a hard 'mushti ghaata' which tore off Sugriva's body kavacha to pieces and his vajra like chest was torn off and rakta dhaaraas were flowing while his heart beat was speeded up. But Maha Parakrami Sugriva hit such a massive death blow to Kumbha's chest and thus Sugriva was shinining like the shasra kirana Surya Deva. *Mustinābhihatas tena nipapātāśu rāksasah*, *lohitāṅga* ivākāśād dīptaraśmir yadrcchayā//tasmin hate bhīmaparākramena; plavamgamānām rṣabhena yuddhe, mahī saśailā savanā cacāla; bhayam ca rakṣāmsy adhikam viveśa/ Sugriva's collossal bluster on Kumbha's chest was such as he was rapidly crubling wooden sticks in agni jwaalaas turning into ash. Thus bhayankara parakrami Vaanara Raja Sugriva had achieved the glory of destroying Kumbhasura while the Rakshasa warriors took their heels back to Lankapuri at once.

Nikumbho bhrātaram dṛṣṭvā sugrīveṇa nipātitam, pradahann iva kopena vānarendram avaikṣata/ tatah sragdāmasamnaddham dattapañcāngulam śubham, ādade parigham vīro nagendraśikharopamam/ hemapattaparikşiptam vajravidrumabhūşitam, yamadandopamam bhīmam rakşasām bhayanāśanam/ tam āvidhya mahātejāḥ śakradhvajasamam raṇe, vinanāda vivṛttāsyo nikumbho bhīmavikramaḥ/ urogatena niskena bhujasthair aṅgadair api, kundalābhvām ca mrstābhvām mālayā ca vicitrayā/ nikumbho bhūsanair bhāti tena sma parighena ca, yathendradhanusā meghah savidyutstanayitnumān/ parighāgrena pusphota vātagranthir mahātmanah, prajajvāla saghosas ca vidhūma iva pāvakah/ nagaryā vitapāvatyā gandharvabhavanottamaih, saha caivāmarāvatyā sarvaiś ca bhavanaih saha/ satārāgananaksatram sacandram samahāgraham, nikumbhaparighāghūrnam bhramatīva nabhastalam/durāsadaś ca samjajñe parighābharaṇaprabhah,krodhendhano nikumbhāgnir yugāntāgnir ivotthitaḥ/ rākṣasā vānarāś cāpi na śekuḥ spanditum bhayāt, hanūmams tu vivṛtyoras tasthau pramukhato balī/ parighopamabāhus tu parigham bhāskaraprabham, balī balavatas tasva pātavām āsa vaksasi/ sthire tasyorasi vyūdhe parighah śatadhā kṛtaḥ, viśīryamāṇah sahasā ulkā śatam ivāmbare/ sa tu tena prahāreņa cacāla ca mahākapiḥ, parigheṇa samādhūto yathā bhūmicale 'calaḥ/ sa tathābhihatas tena hanūmān plavagottamah, mustim samvartayām āsa balenātimahābalah/ tam udyamya mahātejā nikumbhorasi vīryavān, abhiciksepa vegena vegavān vāyuvikramah/ tatah pusphota carmāsya prasusrāva ca śonitam, muştinā tena samjajne jvālā vidyud ivotthitā/ sa tu tena prahārena nikumbho vicacāla ha, svasthaś cāpi nijagrāha hanūmantam mahābalam/ vicukruśus tadā samkhve bhīmam lankānivāsinah, nikumbhenoddhṛtam dṛṣṭvā hanūmantam mahābalam/ sa tathā hriyamāṇo 'pi kumbhakarṇātmajena hi, ājaghānānilasuto vajravegena mustinā/ ātmānam mocayitvātha ksitāv abhyavapadyata,hanūmān unmamathāśu nikumbham mārutātmajah/ niksipya paramāyatto nikumbham nispipesa ca, utpatya cāsya vegena papātorasi vīryavān/ parigrhya ca bāhubhyām parivrtya sirodharām, utpātayām āsa siro bhairayam nadato mahat/ atha yinadati sādite nikumbhe; payanasutena,pananasutena rane babhuya yddham,Dasharathasutaraakshasendrasonvorbhushataramaagataroshayoh subheemam/ Vyapete tu jeeve Nikumbhasya hrishthaa yinoduh playangaa dishah samanyanascha, chachaaleya choryaa papaateya saa dyourbalam raakshasaanaam bhayamchaaviyesha/

As Sugriva killed his brother Kumbha, Nikumbha looked at Sugriva as if his rage would bring the vaarara king to burnt ashes. Nikumbha's parigha was like yama danda and the rakshasa bhaya naashaka, and he revolved his parigha making resounding simha garjana with 'bhayaanaka mukha'. His vakshasthala is decorated with a golden padaka, hands with glittering wrist ornaments, his kundalas with gold studded with vajras and his vichitra maala of unusual Surya prabha. As Nikumbha's parigha was circling all around it was like the paribhramana of Vitapaavati Nagari or Alkapuri of Kubera, Gandharva bhavanaas, Nakshatra Chanda Navagraha paribhramana. It was only Veera Hanuman who could stand and challenge the Maha Rakshasa with his open and broad chest. Recalling what all tormentations were perpetrated by Hanuman against Rakshasa Maha Veeraas with vengence, Nikumbha was anxious to repay to Hanuman and hit his parigha on Hanuman's chest with all his grit and might. sthire tasyorasi vyūḍhe parighaḥ śatadhā kṛtah, viśīryamānah sahasā ulkā śatam ivāmbare/ sa tu tena prahārena cacāla ca mahākapih, parighena samādhūto yathā bhūmicale 'calah/ sa tathābhihatas tena hanūmān plavagottamah, mustim samvartayām āsa balenātimahābalah/ tam udyamya mahātejā nikumbhorasi vīryavān, abhiciksepa vegena vegavān vāyuvikramah/ Hanumana's chest was indeed enormous and robust and the parigha hurled by Nikumbha was broken into pieces like hundreds of ulkas or meteors hit the earth. But even as Maha Kapi Hanuman's chest was hurled at, just as an earthquake would not sink maha parvatas would not fall off easily. The atyanta mahaan bala shaali vaanara shiromani Hanuman having hit by the parigha, gripped his 'mushti' and punched a mighty thump on Nikumbha's chest. tatah pusphota carmāsya prasusrāva ca śonitam, mustinā tena samjajne jvālā vidyud ivotthitā/ sa tu tena prahārena nikumbho vicacāla ha, svasthaś cāpi nijagrāha hanūmantam mahābalam/ vicukruśus tadā samkhye bhīmam lankānivāsinah, nikumbhenoddhrtam drstvā hanūmantam mahābalam/ sa tathā hrivamāno 'pi

kumbhakarṇātmajena hi, ājaghānānilasuto vajravegena muṣṭinā/ That mushti ghaata by Hanuman made the instant impact on the Mahaasura's body kavacha was torn off to pieces and there were rakta pravaahaas at once as though lightnings occured from dark clouds. From the mushti prahara of Anjaneya, Nikumbha's head reeled off yet held Hanuman tight. That was the time when Rakshasha's who were so far disheartened made victory ninaadaas. But Hanuman gave such vajra tulya deadly hit on Nikumbha once again. ātmānam mocayitvātha kṣitāv abhyavapadyata,hanūmān unmamathāśu nikumbham mārutātmajaḥ/ nikṣipya paramāyatto nikumbham niṣpipeṣa ca, utpatya cāṣya vegena papātorasi vīryavān/ parigṛhya ca bāhubhyām parivṛtya śirodharām, utpāṭayām āsa śiro bhairavam nadato mahat/ atha vinadati sādite nikumbhe; pavanasutena,pananasutena/ Yet again the Rakshasa rose up once again albeit totteringly, but Vayuputra lashed Nikumbha down to dust and having jumped on the Rakshas's chest twisted Nikumbha's neck as tha Rakshasa made a loud 'artanaada' and slept for ever.rane babhuva yddham, Dasharathasutaraakshasendra sonvorbhushataramaagataroshayoh subheemam/ Vyapete tu jeeve Nikumbhasya hrishthaa vinoduh plavangaa dishah samanvanascha, chachaaleva chorvaa papaateva saa dyourbalam raakshasaanaam bhayamchaavivesha/ As Nikumbha was killed thus, Makaraaksha Rakshasa attacked Shri Rama the utmost root cause of the historic battle.

Sargas Seventy Eight and Seventy Nine

As per Ranvana's instructions, Makaraaksha challenged Rama with baana varshas for long, but Rama smashed the charioteer, as the asura took to a Shiva shula, yet Rama with his Vayavyastra killed the asura.

Nikumbham ca hatam śrutvā kumbham ca vinipātitam, rāvaṇaḥ paramāmarṣī prajajvālānalo yathā/ nairṛtah krodhaśokābhyām dvābhyām tu parimūrchitah, kharaputram viśālāksam makarāksam acodayat/ gaccha putra mayājñapto balenābhisamanvitah, rāghavam laksmanam caiva jahi tau savanaukasau/ rāvanasya vacah śrutvā śūro mānī kharātmajah, bādham ity abravīd dhrsto makarākso niśācarah/ so 'bhivādya daśagrīvam krtvā cāpi pradakṣiṇam, nirjagāma grhāc chubhrād rāvaṇasyājñayā balī/ samīpastham balādhvaksam kharaputro 'bravīd idam, ratham ānīvatām sīghram sainvam cānīvatām tvarāt/ tasva tadvacanam śrutvā balādhvakso niśācarah, syandanam ca balam caiva samīpam pratyapādayat/ pradakṣiṇam ratham krtvā āruroha niśācaraḥ, sūtam samcodayām āsa śīghram me ratham āvaha/ atha tān rāksasān sarvān makarākso 'bravīd idam, yūyam sarve prayudhyadhvam purastān mama rāksasāh/ aham rāksasarājena rāvanena mahātmanā, ājñaptah samare hantum tāv ubhau rāmalaksmanau/ adya rāmam vadhisyāmi laksmanam ca niśācarāh, śākhāmrgam ca sugrīvam vānarāms ca sarottamaih/adya sūlanipātais ca vānarānām mahācamūm, pradahisyāmi samprāptām śuskendhanam ivānalah/ makarāksasya tac chrutvā vacanam te niśācarāh, sarve nānāyudhopetā balavantah samāhitāh/ te kāmarūpinah śūrā damṣṭriṇah pingalekṣaṇāh, mātaṃgā iva nardanto dhvastakeśā bhayānakāh/ parivārya mahākāyā mahākāyam kharātmajam, abhijagmus tadā hṛṣṭāś cālayanto vasumdharām/ śankhabherīsahasrānām āhatānām samantatah, ksveditāsphotitānām ca tatah śabdo mahān abhūt/ prabhraṣṭo 'tha karāt tasya pratodaḥ sārathes tadā, papāta sahasā caiva dhvajas tasya ca rakṣasaḥ/ tasya te rathasamyuktā hayā vikramavarjitāḥ, caraṇair ākulair gatvā dīnāḥ sāsramukhā yayuh/ pravāti pavanas tasya sapāmsuh kharadārunah, niryāne tasya raudrasya makarāksasya durmateh/ tāni dṛstvā nimittāni rāksasā vīryavattamāh, acintyanirgatāh sarve yatra tau rāmalaksmanau/ ghanagajamahisāngatulyavarnāh; samaramukhesv asakṛd gadāsibhinnāh, aham aham iti yuddhakauśalās te; rajanicarāh paribabhramur nadantah/

Nirgatam makarākṣam te dṛṣṭvā vānarapumgavāḥ, āplutya sahasā sarve yoddhukāmā vyavasthitāḥ/ tataḥ pravṛttam sumahat tad yuddham lomaharṣaṇam, niśācaraiḥ plavamgānām devānām dānavair iva/ vṛkṣaśūlanipātaiś ca śilāparighapātanaiḥ, anyonyam mardayanti sma tadā kapiniśācarāḥ/ śaktiśūlagadākhaḍgais tomaraiś ca niśācarāḥ, paṭṭasair bhindipālaiś ca bāṇapātaiḥ samantataḥ/ pāśamudgaradaṇḍaiś ca nirghātaiś cāparais tathā, kadanam kapisimhānām cakrus te rajanīcarāḥ/ bāṇaughair arditāś cāpi kharaputreṇa vānarāḥ, sambhrāntamanasaḥ sarve dudruvur bhayapīḍitāḥ/ tān

drstvā rāksasāh sarve dravamānān vanaukasah, nedus te simhavad dhrstā rāksasā jitakāśinah/ vidravatsu tadā tesu vānaresu samantatah, rāmas tān vārayām āsa śaravarsena rāksasān/ vāritān rākṣasān dṛṣṭvā makarākṣo niśācaraḥ, krodhān alasam āviṣṭo vacanam cedam abravīt/ tiṣṭha rāma mayā sārdham dvandvayuddham dadāmi te, tyājayiṣyāmi te prāṇān dhanurmuktaiḥ śitaiḥ śaraiḥ/ yat tadā dandakāranye pitaram hatavān mama, madagratah svakarmastham smrtvā roso 'bhivardhate/ dahvante bhṛśam aṅgāni durātman mama rāghava, yan mayāsi na dṛṣṭas tvam tasmin kāle mahāvane/ diṣṭyāsi darśanam rāma mama tvam prāptavān iha, kānkṣito 'si kṣudhārtasya simhasyevetaro mṛgaḥ adya madbāṇavegena pretarāḍ viṣayam gataḥ, ye tvayā nihatāḥ śūrāh saha tais tvam sameṣyasi/ bahunātra kim uktena śrnu rāma vaco mama, paśyantu sakalā lokās tvām mām caiva ranājire/ astrair vā gadayā vāpi bāhubhyām vā mahāhave, abhyastam yena vā rāma tena vā vartatām yudhi/ makarāksavacah śrutvā rāmo daśarathātmajah, abravīt prahasan vākyam uttarottaravādinam/ caturdaśasahasrāni raksasām tvatpitā ca yah, triśirā dūsanaś cāpi dandake nihatā mayā/ svāśitās tava māmsena grdhragomāyu vāyasāh, bhavişyanty adya vai pāpa tīkṣṇatuṇḍanakhānkuśāh/ evam uktas tu rāmena kharaputro niśācarah, bāṇaughān asrjat tasmai rāghavāya raṇājire/ tāñ śarāñ śaravarṣeṇa rāmaś ciccheda naikadhā, nipetur bhuvi te chinnā rukmapunkhāh sahasrasah/ tad yuddham abhavat tatra sametyānyonyam ojasā, khara rākṣasaputrasya sūnor daśarathasya ca/ jīmūtayor ivākāśe śabdo jyātalayos tadā, dhanur muktaḥ svanotkṛṣṭaḥ śrūyate ca raṇājire/ devadānavagandharvāḥ kimnarāś ca mahoragāh, antariksagatāh sarve drastukāmās tad adbhutam/ viddham anyonyagātresu dvigunam vardhate balam, kṛtapratikṛtānyonyam kurvāte tau ranājire/ rāmam uktās tu bānaughān rāksasas tv acchinad raņe, raksomuktāms tu rāmo vai naikadhā prācchinac charaih/ bāṇaughavitatāḥ sarvā diśaś ca vidiśas tathā, samchannā vasudhā caiva samantān na prakāśate/Tatah kruddho mahabaahur dhanuscchheda samyuja, ashtaabhiratha naaraachaih suuramam vivuaagha Raghavah/ Bhitvaa Ratham sharai Raamo hatvaa ashwaanpaayatat, viratho vasudhaasthah sa makaraksho nishaasharah/Tattishthad vasudhaam rakshah shulam janbaaha paaninaa, traasanam srava bhutaanaam yugaanitikaagni samaprabham/ duravaapam mahacchhulam Rudradattham bhayankaram, jaajjalyamaanamaakaashe samhaaraastrabhi -vaaparam/ Tamaapanantam jvalita Kharaputrakaraacchyutam, baanaischatur bhiraakaashe shulam chicchheda raaghavah/ Sa bhinno naikadhaa shulo divyahaatakamanditah, vyashheyat mahollekeya raamabaanaardito bhuvi/Tam drushtayaa nikatam shulam makaraaksho nishaacharaah mushtimudyunmy kaakutstham tishtha tishthoti chaabraveet/ sa tam drushtaa patantam tu prahasya Raghunandanah, paavakaastram tato Raamah sandhagdhe tu sharaasane/ tenaastreana hatam rakshah kaakusthena sadaa rane, sancchhinna hridayam tatra papaatacha mamaaracha/ drushtaa te raaksasaah sarve makaraakshya paatanam, lankaameva pradhaavanta Raamabaanabhayaarditaah/ daśarathanrpaputrabānavegai; rajanicaram nihatam kharātmajam tam, dadrśur atha ca devatāh prahṛṣṭā; girim iva vajrahatam yathā viśīrṇam/

Enraged by the unfortunate herioc deaths of Kumbha Nikumbha instructed Khara Putra Makharaksha to attack Rama Lakshmanas. Racalling most vengefully how Rama forwarded his heroic father to veera swarga, Makaraksha had readily appreciated the golden opportunity of getting rid of the menace of Rama Lakshmanas and instructed his Senapati to get ready for the great battle. Then he addressed his sena as follows: 'comrades! aham rākṣasarājena rāvaņena mahātmanā, ājñaptaḥ samare hantum tāv ubhau rāmalaksmanau/ adya rāmam vadhisyāmi laksmanam ca niśācarāh, śākhāmrgam ca sugrīvam vānarāms ca śarottamaiḥ/adya śūlanipātaiś ca vānarāṇām mahācamūm, pradahiṣyāmi samprāptām śuṣkendhanam ivānalah/ I have been instructed by King Rayana to attack Rama Lakshmanas. I have already decided to do so, besides devastating Sugriva and Vaanara yoddhas too like dried wood sticks are fired down by mr severed arrows and shilaadi aayudhas too. And my instruction to you all would be accordingly too. makarākṣasya tac chrutvā vacanam te niśācarāḥ, sarve nānāyudhopetā balavantah samāhitāḥ/ te kāmarūpinah śūrā damstrinah pingalekṣaṇāh, mātamgā iva nardanto dhvastakeśā bhayānakāh/ parivārya mahākāyā mahākāyam kharātmajam, abhijagmus tadā hṛstāś cālayanto vasumdharām/As instructed by Makaraksha, the rakshasa sena got readied with astra shastras. In fact, the Rakshasaas have the ability of assuming maya swarupas and of 'bhayanaka kruratva' too by nature and thus got readied instantly with unsual enthusiasm. Makaraksha had at once jumped into the chariot with excitement and

ordered the rakshasa sena to charge ahead and create havoc by mercilessly destroying vaanara bhallukas. At that time, there were 'shankhaaraavaas' and drum beatings across the 'dasha dishas' in thousands and there was alround 'utsaaha kolaahalaas'. Then suddenly there was an 'apashakuna' or a negative foreboding that the Makaraksha Radha Saradhi's handholding cane slipped, the horses became dirction less and the radha dhvaja crashed down. pravāti pavanas tasya sapāmsuḥ kharadāruṇaḥ, niryāṇe tasya raudrasya makarākṣasya durmateḥ/ tāni dṛṣṭvā nimittāni rākṣasā vīryavattamāḥ, acintyanirgatāḥ sarve yatra tau rāmalakṣmaṇau/Added to this at the very start of Makaraaksha's 'yuddha yatraa samaya', there were fierce winds of sand became stronger and stronger. Despite the 'apashakunaas', Makaraksha and the rakshasa sena forged ahead with anxiety and excitement while Makarakshasa approached where Rama Lakshmans were seated.

Sarga Seventy Nine follows

Vaanara Veeraas were meanwhile ready with vriksha, shula, gada, parighas pushing and jottling each other, while nishacharas too were fully armed with shaki, shula, bhaalaa, tomara, pattishas, bhindipaala, baana prahara, paasha, mudgara, dandas to butcher vaararaas. Khara putra Makaraaksha started off 'vanara vinaashana' as groups of them scattered and dazed running here and there, due to rakshasa 'darpa' and show off. Then Makhraaksha yelled at Shri Rama! tistha rāma mayā sārdham dvandvayuddham dadāmi te, tyājayisyāmi te prānān dhanurmuktaih sitaih saraih/ yat tadā dandakāranye pitaram hatavān mama, madagratah svakarmastham smrtvā roso 'bhivardhate/ dahyante bhrsam angāni durātman mama rāghava, yan mayāsi na dṛṣṭas tvaṁ tasmin kāle mahāvane/ Wait Rama, be there itself as both of us should have 'dwandva yuddha' and face to face as my 'baana prahaaras' are going to sweep off your breathings. Ever since you had taken off my dearmost father's life force, since then I had been waiting for this unmissable opportunity of avenging and here I am right before you and am exremely anxious to get rid of you once and for all while avenging and awakening his 'atma shaanti' and my relief. distyāsi darśanam rāma mama tvam prāptavān iha, kānksito 'si ksudhārtasya simhasyevetaro mrgah/ adya madbāṇavegena pretarāḍ viṣayam gataḥ, ye tvayā nihatāḥ śūrāḥ saha tais tvam sameṣyasi/ bahunātra kim uktena srnu rāma vaco mama, pasvantu sakalā lokās tvām mām caiva ranājire/ astrair vā gadayā vāpi bāhubhyām vā mahāhaye, abhyastam vena vā rāma tena vā vartatām yudhi/ Duratma Raghava! At that time in dandakaranya, you were perhaps not to notice me adequately as even thereafter my entire body had been enraged eversince with the fires of vengeance. But Rama, right now, I am able to see you clearly, your affected show off of bravery and so on and now I stand before you like a hungry lion seeking a tasty prey! To day, You should taste be blast of my arrows and reach that yamaloka where you might have to keep company with other vanara rakshasa pramukhas too. Rama! Of which avail of my anxiety now any way. It should of the 'prekshakas' or the onlookers to witnes the thrill of mutual battle. Rama! You may like to fight by which ever means like with astras, or gadaa like shatras, or by 'dvandwa yuddha' as the choice is yours as I am prepared by any means.' Shri Rama heard the 'pragalbhas' of Makaraksha and laughed loud and replied: 'Nishaachara! Why are you boasting away as these words hurled at my face are truly disgraceful. Remember that in dandakaranya, fourteen thouand and odd Rakshasas including your father Khara, Trishira and Dushana were devastated by me. Now with your death too should feed several owls, crows and dogs should soon satiate with your huge dead body flesh and quench their thurst too.' As Shri Rama ridiculed likewise, the Maha Rakshasa hastened to attack Rama with 'baana varsha', but the ever alert Shri Rama made pieces of Makaraksha's arrows. The mutual releases of the arrow rains became so severe in the course of the day that Deva-Danava-Gandharva-Kinara- Maha Naagas were noticing with awe. The mantrika baanas released by Rama were negated by the Rakshasas, while the reverese was occurring too day long. Tatah kruddho mahabaahurdhanuscchheda samyuja, ashtaabhiratha naaraachaih suuramam vivuaagha Raghavah/ Bhitvaa Ratham sharai Raamo hatvaa ashwaanpaayatat, viratho vasudhaasthah sa makaraksho nishaasharah/Tattishthad vasudhaam rakshah shulam janbaaha paaninaa, traasanam srava bhutaanaam yugaanitikaagni samaprabham/ Then maha baahu Shri Ramachandra got fed up with the nagging exchanges of 'baana varshas', and with eight ardhachandraakaara baanaas killed the saaradhi of the Rakshasaa's chariot. Following later, Rama

killed the horses too. As he became a ratha heena, Makaraaksha was foreced down to to earth like a pralaya kaala Rudra and started with his maha shula. duravaapam mahacchhulam Rudradattham bhayankaram, jaajjalyamaanamaakaashe samhaaraastrabhi -vaaparam/ Tamaapanantam jvalitam Kharaputrakaraacchyutam,baanaischaturbhiraakaashe shulam chicchheda raaghavah/ Sa bhinno naikadhaa shulo diyyahaatakamanditah, yyashheyat mahollekeya raamabaanaardito bhuvi/ That Parama durlabha shula was the gift of Shankara himself and was truly ashtonishing even to look at as it was glittering like parama samhaaraastra. By even looking at the Shiva Shula, Deva samuhas were bewildered direction less. The Nishachara then circled the shula and with enormous anger shot it at Shri Rama. Then Shri Rama with adriotness and unusual presence of mind tore off the shula to pieces and fell down to earth. Tacchhulam nihatam drushtaa raamenaa kishtakarmanaa saadhu saadviti bhutaana vyaaharanti nabhogataah/ Tam drushtavaa nikatam shulam makaraaksho nishaacharaah mushtimudyunmy kaakutstham tishtha tishthoti chaabrayeet/ sa tam drushtaa patantam tu prahasya Raghunandanah, paavakaastram tato Raamah sandhagdhe tu sharaasane/ Then the sky bound devaasa appreciated with astonishing precision. Then the Rakshasa Veera shouted on Rama!: 'Arre, Rama! Wait and stand!' Shri Rama smilingly aimed at his dhanush and set it with 'agneyaastra mantra' and released as Makaraaksha's heart which was hit into bits and pieces. tenaastreana hatam rakshah kaakusthena sadaa rane, sancchhinna hridayam tatra papaatacha mamaaracha/drushtaa te raaksasaah sarve makaraakshya paatanam, lankaameva pradhaavanta Raamabaanabhayaarditaah/ There after the Rakshasa hero fell down dead and the Rakshasaas fled away back to Lankapuri. That indeed was the death of Khara Putra Makaraaksha which made Daasharatha putra Rama's yet another smile of relief.

Sarga Eighty

As instructed by Ravana, Indrajit invoked abhichaara yagjna and with antardhana shakti tormented Rama Lakshmanas, but Rama warned Lakshmana of brahmastra yet the latter made a 'shapatha' to kill Indrajit.

Makarākṣam hatam śrutvā rāvaṇaḥ samitimjayaḥ, ādideśātha samkruddho raṇāyendrajitam sutam/jahi vīra mahāvīryau bhrātarau rāmalaksmanau, adršvo dršvamāno vā sarvathā tvam balādhikah/ tvam apratimakarmānam indram javasi samvuge, kim punar mānusau drstvā na vadhisvasi samvuge/ tathokto rākṣasendreṇa pratigṛhya pitur vacaḥ, yajñabhūmau sa vidhivat pāvakam juhuve ndrajit/ juhvataś cāpi tatrāgnim raktosnīsadharāh striyah, ājagmus tatra sambhrāntā rāksasyo yatra rāvanih/ śastrāni śarapatrāni samidho 'tha vibhītakāh, lohitāni ca vāsāmsi sruvam kārsnāyasam tathā/ sarvato 'gnim samāstīrya śarapatraih samantatah, chāgasya sarvakrsnasya galam jagrāha jīvatah/ caruhomasamiddhasya vidhūmasya mahārcisah, babhūvus tāni lingāni vijayam darśayanti ca/ pradakṣināvartaśikhas taptahāṭakasamnibhah,havis tat pratijagrāha pāvakah svayam utthitah/ hutvāgnim tarpayitvātha devadānavarākṣasān, āruroha rathaśreṣṭham antardhānagatam śubham/ sa vājibhis caturbhis tu bāṇais ca nisitair yutaḥ,āropitamahācāpaḥ susubhe syandanottame/ jājvalyamāno vapusā tapanīvaparicchadah, śaraiś candrārdhacandraiś ca sa rathah samalamkrtah/ jāmbūnadamahākambur dīptapāvakasamnibhah, babhūvendrajitah ketur vaidūrvasamalamkrtah/ tena cādityakalpena brahmāstreņa ca pālitaḥ, sa babhūva durādharṣo rāvaṇiḥ sumahābalaḥ/ so 'bhiniryāya nagarād indrajit samitimjayah, hutvāgnim rāksasair mantrair antardhānagato 'bravīt/ adya hatvāhave yau tau mithyā pravrajitau vane, jayam pitre pradāsyāmi rāvanāya ranādhikam/ krtvā nirvānarām urvīm hatvā rāmam salaksmanam, karisye paramām prītim ity uktvāntaradhīyata/ āpapātātha samkruddho daśagrīvena coditah, tīkṣṇakārmukanārācais tīkṣṇas tv indraripū raṇe/ sa dadarśa mahāvīryau nāgau triśirasāv iva, srjantāv işujālāni vīrau vānaramadhyagau/ imau tāv iti samcintya sajyam krtvā ca kārmukam, samtatānesudhārābhih parjanya iva vṛṣṭimān/ sa tu vaihāyasam prāpya saratho rāmalakṣmaṇau, acakṣur viṣaye tiṣṭhan vivyādha niśitaiḥ śaraiḥ/ tau tasya śaravegena parītau rāmalaksmanau, dhanusī saśare kṛtvā divyam astram pracakratuh/ pracchādayantau gaganam śarajālair mahābalau, tam astraih surasamkāśau naiva pasparśatuh śaraih/ sa hi dhūmāndhakāram ca cakre pracchādayan nabhaḥ, diśaś cāntardadhe śrīmān nīhāratamasāvṛtaḥ/ naiva jyātalanirghoṣo na ca nemikhurasvanah, śuśruve caratas tasva na ca rūpam prakāśate/ ghanāndhakāre timire śaravarsam

ivādbhutam, sa vavarsa mahābāhur nārācaśaravrstibhih/ sa rāmam sūryasamkāśaih śarair dattavaro bhrśam, vivyādha samare kruddhah sarvagātresu rāvanih/ tau hanyamānau nārācair dhārābhir iva parvatau, hemapunkhān naravyāghrau tigmān mumucatuh śarān/ antarikṣam samāsādya rāvaṇim kankapatrinah, nikṛtya patagā bhūmau petus te śonitokṣitāh/ atimātram śaraugheṇa pīḍyamānau narottamau, tān isūn patato bhallair anekair nicakartatuh/ yato hi dadrṣāte tau ṣarān nipatitāñ ṣitān tatas tato dāśarathī sasrjāte 'stram uttamam' rāvaņis tu diśah sarvā rathenātirathah patan, vivyādha tau dāśarathī laghv astro niśitaiḥ śaraiḥ/ tenātividdhau tau vīrau rukmapunkhaiḥ susamhataiḥ, babhūvatur dāśarathī puspitāv iva kimśukau/ nāsya veda gatim kaś cin na ca rūpam dhanuḥ śarān, na cānyad viditam kim cit sūryasyevābhrasamplave/ tena viddhāś ca harayo nihatāś ca gatāsavah, babhūvuh śataśas tatra patitā dharanītale/ laksmanas tu susamkruddho bhrātaram vākyam abravīt, brāhmam astram prayoksyāmi vadhārtham sarvaraksasām/ tam uvāca tato rāmo laksmanam śubhalaksanam, naikasya heto raksāmsi pṛthivyām hantum arhasi/ ayudhyamānam pracchannam prāñjalim śaraṇāgatam,palāyantam pramattam vā na tvam hantum ihārhasi/ asyaiva tu vadhe yatnam karisyāvo mahābala., ādekṣyāvo mahāvegān astrān āśīviṣopamān/ tam enam māyinam kṣudram antarhitaratham balāt, rāksasam nihanisyanti drstvā vānarayūthapāh/ vadv esa bhūmim viśate divam vā; rasātalam vāpi nabhastalam vā, evam nigūdho 'pi mamāstradagdhah; patisyate bhūmitale gatāsuh/ity evam uktvā vacanam mahātmā; raghupravīrah plavagarşabhair vrtah, vadhāya raudrasya nrsamsakarmaņas; tadā mahātmā tvaritam nirīksate/

As having heard that Shri Rama killed Maha Rakshasa Makaraksha too, Ravana was enraged grinding his teeth and called for his famed son Indrajit as the latter under his father's instructions to some how destroy Shri Rama proceeded to the yagina shaala and performed agni sthaapana and initiated a maha yagina, apparently of 'abhicharika' nature. As Indrajit wore blood red vastras while performiung the 'havan', even the rakshasa strees were frightened. Wearing his shastra astras too, he sat in kushaagraas with big sized 'samidhas' or wooden sticks, wearing blood red clothes he initiated igniting the homaagni as he felt vijaya sanketas. pradaksināvartaśikhas taptahātakasamnibhah, havis tat pratijagrāha pāvakah svayam utthitaḥ/ hutvāgnim tarpayitvātha devadānavarākṣasān, āruroha rathaśreṣṭham antardhānagatam śubham/ sa vājibhiś caturbhis tu bānaiś ca niśitair vutah,āropitamahācāpah śuśubhe svandanottame/ After performing pradakshinas, Indrajit then offered the havishaanna to Agni Deva who himself accepted the same. As he attained the power of the aahuti to Agni, the abhichaarika sambandhi Devata- Daabava-Rakshasaas were contented and then he alighted his chariot. The radha dhwaja was the looking like the 'prajjvalita agni jvaalaas'. Then having left he proceeded to the Nirruti Devataa and reciting sambandhi mantraas parformed aahutis to agni to refresen his antardhhana shakti and decided to exterminate Rama Lakshmanas and dispppeared. Then as inspired by Ravana he rached the battle ground with his dhanur baanaas and rained baana varsha on them as from nowhere. Then both Rama Lakshmanas quickly noticing the directions from where the arrows were originated, had responded instantaneously. Then Indrajit released his arrows from all the directions as the skyline havingh been filled up in dasha dishas got darker and darker. Then Dasharadha Kumaras were hurt as the ingress of the baana varshas became invisible. nāsya veda gatim kaś cin na ca rūpam dhanuḥ śarān, na cānyad viditam kim cit sūryasyevābhrasamplave/ tena viddhāś ca harayo nihatāś ca gatāsavaḥ, babhūvuḥ śataśas tatra patitā dharanītale/ laksmanas tu susamkruddho bhrātaram vākyam abravīt, brāhmam astram prayoksyāmi vadhārtham sarvarakṣasām/ Indrajit's vegapurva gati, rupa, dhanush and baana was indeed perplexing. Then in the process thousands of vaanaras were getting hurt and killed. Then Lakashmana suggested Sri Rama to utilise his brahmastra and kill all the rakshasaas in one shot, but then Rama disagreed as that would be against the very principle of rakshasa nirmulana all together. Rama stated further to Lakshmana as follows: ayudhyamānam pracchannam prāñjalim śaranāgatam, palāyantam pramattam vā na tvam hantum ihārhasi/ asyaiva tu vadhe yatnam karişyāvo mahābala., ādekṣyāvo mahāvegān astrān āśīvisopamān/ tam enam māyinam ksudram antarhitaratham balāt, rāksasam nihanisyanti dṛstvā vānarayūthapāh/ Maha bahu Lakshmana! Dharma shastras had repeatedly pronounced that in any battle when somebody hided himself, or not prepared for a fight, or would seek 'sharanya', then such a warrior ought not be worthy of being killed. But don't you get worried. I should certainly devastate Indrajit all by

my self. Let us therefore explore other powerful astras. This maayaavi rakshasa is a 'neecha duratma' hiding hinself in a maya ratha and with mayashakti and indeed he ought to be killed some how by our astra prayogas. yady eṣa bhūmim viśate divam vā; rasātalam vāpi nabhastalam vā, evam nigūḍho 'pi mamāstradagdhaḥ; patiṣyate bhūmitale gatāsuḥ/ity evam uktvā vacanam mahātmā; raghupravīraḥ plavagarṣabhair vṛtaḥ, vadhāya raudrasya nṛśamsakarmaṇas; tadā mahātmā tvaritam nirīkṣate/ May prithvi me destroyed, swarga be swept off, rasatala be sunk or akaasha be disappered yet I should most certainly have Indrajit dropped to dust. Thus Shri Rama made a veera pratigjna before the entire vaanara bhallukaas.

Sarga Eighty One

Despite repeated warnings of 'stree hatya' as a 'maha paataka', Indrajit drove oft Maya Sita Devi by his charirot and stabbbed her as rakshasas were insane with joy as Vanara Sena was got demoralised

Vijñāya tu manas tasya rāghavasya mahātmanah, samnivṛtyāhavāt tasmāt praviveśa puram tatah/ so 'nusmṛtya vadham teṣām rākṣasānām tarasvinām, krodhatāmrekṣaṇaḥ śūro nirjagāma mahādyutiḥ/ sa paścimena dvāreņa niryayau rākṣasair vṛtaḥ, indrajit tu mahāvīryaḥ paulastyo devakaṇṭakaḥ/ indrajit tu tato dṛstvā bhrātarau rāmalaksmanau, ranāyābhyudyatau vīrau māyām prāduskarot tadā/ indrajit tu rathe sthāpya sītām māyāmayīm tadā, balena mahatāvṛtya tasyā vadham arocayat/ mohanārtham tu sarveṣām buddhim kṛtvā sudurmatiḥ, hantum sītām vyavasito vānarābhimukho yayau/ tam dṛṣṭvā tv abhiniryāntam nagaryāḥ kānanaukasaḥ, utpetur abhisamkruddhāḥ śilāhastā yuyutsavaḥ/ hanūmān puratas teṣām jagāma kapikuñjaraḥ, pragṛhya sumahac chṛṅgam parvatasya durāsadam/ sa dadarśa hatānandām sītām indrajito rathe, ekavenīdharām dīnām upavāsakrśānanām/ pariklistaikavasanām amrjām rāghavapriyām, rajomalābhyām āliptaih sarvagātrair varastriyam/ tām nirīksya muhūrtam tu maithilīm adhyavasya ca, bāspaparyākulamukho hanūmān vyathito 'bhavat/ abravīt tām tu śokārtām nirānandām tapasvinām, drstvā rathe stitām sītām rāksasendrasutāśritām/ kim samarthitam asyeti cintayan sa mahākapiḥ, saha tair vānaraśreṣṭhair abhyadhāvata rāvaṇim/ tad vānarabalam dṛṣṭvā rāvanih krodhamūrchitah, krtvā viśokam nistrimsam mūrdhni sītām parāmrsat/ tam strivam pasvatām tesām tādavām āsa rāvanih, krośantīm rāma rāmeti māvavā vojitām rathe/grhītamūrdhajām drstvā hanūmān dainyam āgataḥ, duḥkhajam vārinetrābhyām utsrjan mārutātmajaḥ, abravīt paruṣam vākyam krodhād rakso'dhipātmajam/ durātmann ātmanāśāya keśapakse parāmrśah, brahmarsīnām kule jāto rāksasīm yonim āśritah, dhik tvām pāpasamācāram yasya te matir īdršī/ nrśamsānārya durvrtta ksudra pāpaparākrama, anāryasyedṛśam karma ghṛṇā te nāsti nirghṛṇa/ cyutā gṛhāc ca rājyāc ca rāmahastāc ca maithilī, kim tavaisāparāddhā hi yad enām hantum icchasi/ sītām ca hatvā na ciram jīvisyasi katham cana, vadhārhakarmaṇānena mama hastagato hy asi/ye ca strīghātinām lokā lokavadhyaiś ca kutsitāḥ, iha jīvitam utsrjya pretya tān pratilapsyase/iti bruvāņo hanumān sāyudhair haribhir vṛtaḥ, abhyadhāvata samkruddho rākṣasendrasutam prati/āpatantam mahāvīryam tad anīkam vanaukasām, raksasām bhīmavegānām anīkena nyavāravat/sa tām bānasahasrena viksobhya harivāhinīm, hariśrestham hanūmantam indrajit pratyuvāca ha/ sugrīvas tvam ca rāmaś ca vannimittam ihāgatāh, tām hanişyāmi vaidehīm adyaiva tava paśyataḥ/ imām hatvā tato rāmam lakṣmaṇam tvām ca vānara, sugrīvam ca vadhisyāmi tam cānāryam vibhīsanam/ na hantavyāh striyaś ceti yad bravīsi plavamgama, pīdā karam amitrānām yat syāt kartavyam eta tat/tam evam uktvā rudatīm sītām māyāmayīm tatah, śitadhārena khadgena nijaghānendrajit svayam/ yajñopavītamārgena chinnā tena tapasvinī, sā pṛthivyām pṛthuśronī papāta priyadarśanā/ tām indrajitstriyam hatvā hanūmantam uvāca ha, mayā rāmasya paśyemām kopena ca niṣūditām/ tataḥ khadgena mahatā hatvā tām indrajit svayam, hṛṣṭaḥ sa ratham āsthāya vinanāda mahāsvanam/ vānarāḥ śuśruvuḥ śabdam adūre pratyavasthitāḥ, vyāditāsyasya nadatas tad durgam samśritasya tu/ tathā tu sītām vinihatya durmatih; prahṛṣṭacetāḥ sa babhūva rāvaṇiḥ, tam hṛstarūpam samudīksya vānarā; visannarūpāh samabhipradudruvuh/

Having realised why Shri Rama prevented Lakshmana not to resort to brahmasatra to destroy entire Rakshasa generation and of his unique pratigina to kill him come what at any cost, Indrajit retreated to

Lankapuri. On hearing what all transpired after Indrajit's maya yuddhha on Rama Lakshmanas and its sequel, Rananasura got furious and as such Indrajit along with condiderable rakshasa sena went back to the battle ground once again. Then he creared a Maya Sita Devi and made her seated in the chariot. Vaanara veeraas headed by Hanuman along with a huge parvata shikhara which was most difficult to lift. Hanuman then noticed the Maya Sita Devi with the same kind of 'malina vastras' and kept on staring at her and truly felt that indeed she was Devi Sita herself seated being 'shoka peedita, maha deena and ananda shunya'. Then Hanuman wondered as to what indeed was Indrajit's objective might be. Then realising that Hanuman was staring at her, Indrajit pulled off her long 'sheersha keshas' in to his mighty hands as she was shouting 'haa Rama, haa Rama' repeatedly. Hanuman was moved at the scene and shouted at Indrajit: 'Duratma! You are wandonly performing this wretched act and inviting your 'vinaasha'; indeed you were born in Brahma Kula but is unable to desist from 'rakshasa manovritthi' and are truly merciless. cyutā grhāc ca rājyāc ca rāmahastāc ca maithilī, kim tavaisāparāddhā hi yad enām hantum icchasi/ sītām ca hatvā na ciram jīviṣyasi katham cana, vadhārhakarmaṇānena mama hastagato hy asi/ ye ca strīghātinām lokā lokavadhyaiś ca kutsitāh, iha jīvitam utsrjya pretya tān pratilapsyase/Nishthura! The helpless Sita Devi was thrown off her Kingdom, tossed off to forest life, dandakaranya, and rakshasa nivasasa, and what indeed could now at the verge of her life under your threat now! If you are going to end her life now, do you realise that you are ending up your own life could last for long. You are really worthy of killing mercilessly as your retarded menentality demands quick retribution. Among the killings that are perpetrated in one's life, 'stree hatyaa' is considered as the worst and as such please do resist your attempt to resort to such adrastic step.' [Stree hatya, Bhruna / Shishu hathya, Brahmana hatya, Go hatya and Guru hatya / Guru Bharya Gamana are stated to be the top of the list od Pancha Maha Patakas] As Hanuman stated likewise in disgust and desperation, Indrajit never bothered to what all Hanuman shouted at and proceeded right into the thickness of the vaanara sena who were all alarmed and addressed Hanuman tauntingly: sugrīvas tvam ca rāmas ca yannimittam ihāgatāh, tām hanisyāmi vaidehīm adyaiva tava paśyatah/ imām hatvā tato rāmam laksmanam tvām ca vānara, sugrīvam ca vadhisyāmi tam cānāryam vibhīsanam/ na hantavyāh striyas ceti yad bravīsi plavamgama, pīdā karam amitrāṇām yat syāt kartavyam eta tat/'Vaanara!Sugriva, Rama and all of you vanaras had attacked us at Lankapuri, on; v an account of this Sita, and if I were to kill her in all your presence, then the bone of contention would get cleared right now. Then very systematically I should kill Rama Lakshmanas, yourself, Sugriva and Vibhishana in that order. Oh Monkey! You were seeking me not to resort to 'stree hatya', and in reply I wish to assert that the root cause would be the fall of a huge tree and as such my 'takshana kartavya'. tam evam uktvā rudatīm sītām māyāmayīm tatah, śitadhārena khadgena nijaghānendrajit svayam/ yajñopavītamārgena chinnā tena tapasvinī, sā prthivyām prthuśronī papāta priyadarśanā/ tām indrajitstriyam hatvā hanūmantam uvāca ha, mayā rāmasya paśyemām kopena ca niṣūditām/ tataḥ khaḍgena mahatā hatvā tām indrajit svayam, hṛṣṭaḥ sa ratham āsthāya vinanāda mahāsvanam/ Having been provoked by Hanunan, Indrajit had then with his sword stabbed the crying Sita. Then she was sliced off in two parts as at the ygjnopaveeta sthaana and maha tapasvini Maya Sita was slashed down to earth. Then Indrajit addressed Hanuman in roaring laughter made simha garjanas: Now, the very cause for which you the monkey brigade landed here is uproored for good and your battle would be a waste of your time and ours too. " vānarāḥ śuśruvuḥ śabdam adūre pratyavasthitāḥ, vyāditāsyasya nadatas tad durgam samśritasya tu/ tathā tu sītām vinihatya durmatih; prahṛstacetāh sa babhūva rāvanih, tam hṛstarūpam samudīksya vānarā; visannarūpāh samabhipradudruvuh/ The vaanaraas as having heard the chorus of Meghanaada and the Rakshasas were exhilarated and excited as Vaanaras shouted: Ravana Putra has now his brain and soon lose his head too.

Sarga Eight Two

As Hanuman witnessed Sita Devi killed, Vanara sena was ghast and Humuman had intitially pacified the vanara sena and take ro revenge but later agreed for temporary withdrawal and to inform Rama Sugrivaas.

śrutvā tam bhīmanirhrādam śakrāśanisamasvanam, vīksamānā diśah sarvā dudruvur vānararsabhāh/ tān uvāca tatah sarvān hanūmān mārutātmajah, visannavadanān dīnāms trastān vidravatah prthak/ kasmād vişannavadanā vidravadhvam plavamgamāh, tyaktayuddhasamutsāhāh śūratvam kva nu vo gatam/pṛṣṭhato 'nuvrajadhvam mām agrato yāntam āhave, śūrair abhijanopetair ayuktam hi nivartitum/ evam uktāh susamkruddhā vāvuputrena dhīmatā, śailaśrṅgān drumāms caiva jagrhur hrstamānasāh abhipetuś ca garjanto rākṣasān vānararṣabhāḥ, parivārya hanūmantam anvayuś ca mahāhave/ sa tair vānaramukhyais tu hanūmān sarvato vṛtaḥ, hutāśana ivārciṣmān adahac chatruvāhinīm/ sa rākṣasānām kadanam cakāra sumahākapih, vrto vānarasainvena kālāntakayamopamah/ sa tu śokena cāvistah krodhena ca mahākapih, hanūmān rāvani rathe mahatīm pātayac chilām/ tām āpatantīm drstvaiva rathah sārathinā tadā, vidheyāśva samāyuktah sudūram apavāhitah/ tam indrajitam aprāpya rathatham sahasārathim, viveša dharanīm bhittvā sā śilāvyartham udyatā/ patitāyām śilāyām tu raksasām vyathitā camūh, tam abhyadhāvañ śataśo nadantah kānanaukasah/ te drumāms ca mahākāvā girisrngāni codyatāḥ, cikṣipur dviṣatām madhye vānarā bhīmavikramāḥ/ vānarair tair mahāvīryair ghorarūpā niśācarāh, vīrvād abhihatā vrksair vvavestanta ranaksitau/ svasainvam abhivīksvātha vānarārditam indrajit, pragrhītāvudhah kruddhah parān abhimukho yayau/ sa saraughān avasrjan svasainyenābhisamyrtaḥ, jaghāna kapiśārdūlān subahūn dṛṣṭavikramaḥ/ śūlair aśanibhiḥ khaḍgaiḥ paṭṭasaiḥ kūṭamudgaraiḥ, te cāpy anucarāms tasya vānarā jaghnur āhave/ saskandhaviṭapaiḥ sālaiḥ śilābhiś ca mahābalaih, hanūmān kadanam cakre raksasām bhīmakarmanām/ sa nivārva parānīkam abravīt tān vanaukasah, hanūmān samnivartadhvam na nah sādhyam idam balam/ tyaktvā prānān vicestanto rāma priyacikīrṣavah, yannimittam hi yudhyāmo hatā sā janakātmajā/ imam artham hi vijñāpya rāmam sugrīvam eva ca, tau yat pratividhāsyete tat kariṣyāmahe vayam/ ity uktvā vānaraśreṣṭho vārayan sarvavānarān, śanaiḥ śanair asamtrastaḥ sabalaḥ sa nyavartata /sa tu prekṣya hanūmantam vrajantam vatra rāghavah, nikumbhilām adhisthāya pāvakam juhuve ndrajit/ yajñabhūmyām tu vidhivat pāvakas tena raksasā, hūyamānah prajajvāla homaśonitabhuk tadā/ so 'rcih pinaddho dadṛśe homaśonitatarpitah, saṁdhyāgata ivādityah sa tīvrāgnih samutthitah/ athendrajid rāksasabhūtaye tu; juhāva havyam vidhinā vidhānavat, drstvā vyatisthanta ca rāksasās te; mahāsamūhesu nayānavajñāh/

As the vaanara sena was truly demoralised, Hanuman shouted at them all: kasmād visannavadanā vidravadhvam plavamgamāh, tyaktavuddhasamutsāhāh śūratvam kva nu vo gatam/ prsthato 'nuvrajadhvam mām agrato yāntam āhave, śūrair abhijanopetair ayuktam hi nivartitum/ Vaanaraas! Why are you all now getting alarmed in this way and trying to run back without shameful timidity in this manner. What has suddenly vanished your 'dhairrya sahasaas' and getting rattled by this incident! Instead you should take to far more vigourous determination and speed right now. I am now attacking the wretched rakshaas and the personification of evil devilry of Indrajit and you too must be inspired to do so as persons born of excellent family background and upbringing ought to never ever show their backs in the battles. evam uktāh susamkruddhā vāyuputreņa dhīmatā, śailaśrngān drumāmś caiva jagrhur hṛṣṭamānasāḥ/ abhipetuś ca garjanto rākṣasān vānararṣabhāḥ, parivārya hanūmantam anvayuś ca mahāhave/ sa tair vānaramukhvais tu hanūmān sarvato vrtah, hutāśana ivārcismān adahac chatruvāhinīm/ As veera Hanuman inspired the vaanara sena, Vaanara veeraas got teribly annoyed at the Rakshasaas and initiated uprooting maha vrishas and parvata shikharas and attacked rakshasaas like agni jwaalaas and ashed down the opponents wild and out of control. sa tu śokena cāvistah krodhena ca mahākapih, hanūmān rāvani rathe mahatīm pātayac chilām/ As Hanuman was ignited by the irreparable tormentation of Devi Sita's hatya he kept on hurling 'mountain shikharas' on the charior of Indrajit and as a result, the horses got belildered and got seperated from the chariot yet the chariot was still intact although immobiliesd as the mountain tops so hurled were perhaps wasted. All the same the rakshasas jumpled off yet with enormous fear. Then the vaanara yoddhhas too commenced hurling parvata boulderes on Indrajit as a frightful follow up the example of Hanuman. In return the infuriated Indrajit took to 'baana varsha' on those very vanara sreshthas. Then inspired by Indrajit, Rakshasaas too retaliated with their astra shastras. The tempo of the mutual battle became too severe that countless vaanara yoddhhas were getting severely killed. Then Hanuman realised that the severity of vaanara sena was losing their grip as Indrajit became too severe and aggressive as he showed off the false euphoria of

having killed Devi among the jubilated rakshasaas. tyaktvā prāṇān viceṣṭanto rāma priyacikīrṣavaḥ, yannimittam hi yudhyāmo hatā sā janakātmajā/ imam artham hi vijñāpya rāmam sugrīvam eva ca, tau yat pratividhāsyete tat kariṣyāmahe vayam/ ity uktvā vānaraśreṣṭho vārayan sarvavānarān, śanaiḥ śanair asamtrastaḥ sabalaḥ sa nyavartata / Then Hanuman suggested to call off the attack for the time being and stated: Brother Vanarasa! So far, you have been desperately fighting the rakshas sena for the Shri Rama Karya of retrieving Devi Sita from the clutches of Ravanasra, but Ravana Kumara killed Sita Devi in my very presence. Now my immediate duty is to inform Sugriva and Shri Rama so that we should take steps for 'prateekaara' eventually. sa tu prekṣya hanūmantam vrajantam yatra rāghavaḥ, nikumbhilām adhiṣṭhāya pāvakam juhuve ndrajit/ yajñabhūmyām tu vidhivat pāvakas tena rakṣasā, hūyamānaḥ prajajvāla homaśoṇitabhuk tadā/ so 'rciḥ pinaddho dadṛśe homaśoṇitatarpitaḥ, samdhyāgata ivādityaḥ sa tīvrāgniḥ samutthitaḥ/ athendrajid rākṣasabhūtaye tu; juhāva havyam vidhinā vidhānavat, dṛṣṭvā vyatiṣṭhanta ca rākṣasās te; mahāsamūheṣu nayānayajñāḥ/ As Hanuman asked the vanara sena to withdraw from the battle for the time being without fear, he saw Indrejit going to Nikumbhala devi Mandira for performing yet again another abhichaaika yagjna. Then Indrajit performed another aahuti in agni and ate the 'aahuti yagjaanna' and stood up readied for the next battle.

Sarga Eighty Three

As as he heard of Devi Sita's killing, Rama swooned down and Lakshmana did extensive vishleshana of dharmaadharma and sought to revive him, asserting Indrajit's justified killing too soon.

Rāghavas cāpi vipulam tam rākṣasavanaukasām, śrutvā samgrāmanirghoṣam jāmbavantam uvāca ha/ saumya nūnam hanumatā kṛtam karma suduskaram, śrūyate hi yathā bhīmah sumahān āyudhasvanah/ tad gaccha kuru sāhāyyam svabalenābhisamyrtah, ksipram ṛskapate tasya kapiśresthasya yudhyatah/ kṣarājas tathety uktvā svenānīkena samvrt, āgacchat paścimadvāram hanūmān yatra vānaraḥ/ athāyāntam hanūmantam dadarśarkṣapatiḥ pathi, vānaraiḥ krtasamgrāmaiḥ śvasadbhir abhisamvrtam/ drstvā pathi hanūmāms ca tad rskabalam udvatam, nīlameghanibham bhīmam samnivārva nyavartata/ sa tena harisainyena samnikarsam mahāyaśāḥ, śīghram āgamya rāmāya duḥkhito vākyam abravīt/ samare yudhyamānānām asmākam prekṣatām ca saḥ, jaghāna rudatīm sītām indrajid rāvaṇātmajaḥ/ udbhrāntacittas tām drstvā visanno 'ham arimdama, tad aham bhavato vrttam vijñāpavitum āgatah/ tasya tadyacanam śrutvā rāghayah śokamūrchitah, nipapāta tadā bhūmau chinnamūla iya drumah/ tam bhūmau devasamkāśam patitam drśya rāghavam, abhipetuh samutpatya sarvatah kapisattamāh/ asiñcan salilais cainam padmotpalasugandhibhih, pradahantam asahyam ca sahasāgnim ivotthitam/ tam lakṣmaṇo 'tha bāhubhyām pariṣvajya suduḥkhitaḥ, uvāca rāmam asvastham vākyam hetvarthasamhitam/ śubhe vartmani tiṣṭhantaṁ tvām āryavijitendriyam, anarthebhyo na śaknoti trātuṁ dharmo nirarthakaḥ/ samare yudhyamānānām asmākam prekṣatām ca saḥ, jaghāna rudatīm sītām indrajid rāvaṇātmajaḥ/ udbhrāntacittas tām drstvā visanno 'ham arimdama, tad aham bhavato vrttam vijñāpavitum āgatah/ tasya tadvacanam śrutvā rāghavaḥ śokamūrchitaḥ,nipapāta tadā bhūmau chinnamūla iva drumaḥ/ tam bhūmau devasamkāśam patitam dṛśya rāghavam, abhipetuḥ samutpatya sarvataḥ kapisattamāḥ/ asiñcan salilaiś cainam padmotpalasugandhibhih, pradahantam asahyam ca sahasāgnim ivotthitam/ tam laksmano 'tha bāhubhyām parisvajya suduhkhitah, uvāca rāmam asvastham vākyam hetvarthasamhitam/ śubhe vartmani tisthantaṁ tvām āryavijitendriyam, anarthebhyo na śaknoti trātuṁ dharmo nirarthakah/ bhūtānām sthāvarāṇām ca jangamānām ca darśanam, yathāsti na tathā dharmas tena nāstīti me matih/ yathaiva sthāvaram vyaktam jangamam ca tathāvidham, nāyam arthas tathā yuktas tvadvidho na vipadyate/ yady adharmo bhaved bhūto rāvano narakam vrajet, bhavāms ca dharmasamyukto naivam vyasanam āpnuyāt/ tasya ca vyasanābhāvād vyasanam ca gate tvayi, dharmenopalabhed dharmam adharmam cāpy adharmatah/ yadi dharmena yujyeran nādharmarucayo janāh, dharmena caratām dharmas tathā caisām phalam bhavet/ yasmād arthā vivardhante yesv adharmah pratisthitah, kliśyante dharmaśīlāś ca tasmād etau nirarthakau/ vadhyante pāpakarmāņo yady adharmeņa rāghava, vadhakarmahato dharmah sa hatah kam vadhisyati/ atha vā vihitenāyam hanyate hanti vā param, vidhir

ālipyate tena na sa pāpena karmanā/ adrstapratikārena avyaktenāsatā satā, kathaṁ śakyaṁ paraṁ prāptum dharmenārivikarśana/ yadi sat syāt satām mukhya nāsat syāt tava kim cana, tvayā yadīdrśam prāptam tasmāt san nopapadyate/ atha vā durbalah klībo balam dharmo 'nuvartate, durbalo hṛtamaryādo na sevya iti me matiḥ/ balasya yadi ced dharmo guṇabhūtaḥ parākrame, dharmam utsṛjya vartasva vathā dharme tathā bale/ atha cet satyavacanam dharmah kila paramtapa., anrtas tyayv akaruṇaḥ kim na baddhas tvayā pitā/ yadi dharmo bhaved bhūta adharmo vā paramtapa, na sma hatvā munim vajrī kuryād ijyām śatakratuḥ/ adharmasamśrito dharmo vināśayati rāghava, sarvam etad vathākāmam kākutstha kurute narah/ mama cedam matam tāta dharmo 'vam iti rāghava, dharmamūlam tvayā chinnam rājyam utsrjatā tadā/ arthebhyo hi vivrddhebhyah samvrddhebhyas tatas tatah, kriyāh sarvāh pravartante parvatebhya ivāpagāh/ arthena hi viyuktasya purusasyālpatejasah, vyucchidyante kriyāh sarvā grīsme kusarito yathā/ so 'yam artham parityajya sukhakāmah sukhaidhitah, pāpam ārabhate kartum tathā dosah pravartate/ yasyārthās tasya mitrāni yasyārthās tasya bāndhavah, yasyārthāh sa pumāml loke yasyārthāh sa ca paṇḍitah/ yasyārthāh sa ca vikrānto yasyārthāh sa ca buddhimān, vasvārthāh sa mahābhāgo vasvārthāh sa mahāgunah/ arthasvaite paritvāge dosāh pravvāhrtā mavā, rājvam utsrjatā vīra vena buddhis tvavā krtā/ vasvārthā dharmakāmārthās tasva sarvam pradakṣiṇam, adhanenārthakāmena nārthaḥ śakyovicinvatā/ harṣaḥ kāmaś ca darpaś ca dharmah krodhah samo damah, arthād etāni sarvāni pravartante narādhipa/ yeṣām nasyaty ayam lokas caratām dharmacārinām, te 'rthās tvayi na drśvante durdinesu yathā grahāh/ tvayi pravrajite vīra guroś ca vacane sthite, raksasāpahṛtā bhāryā prānaih priyatarā tava/ tad adya vipulam vīra duhkham indrajitā kṛtam, karmaṇā vyapaneṣyāmi tasmād uttiṣṭha rāghava/ ayam anagha tavoditaḥ priyārtham; janakasutā nidhanam nirīksva rustah, sahavagajarathām sarāksasendrām; bhršam isubhir vinipātavāmi lankām/

Jambavan reported to Shri Rana that maha vaavara veeraas were killed in several thousands, Rama stated Hunamas was there yet Jambavan too might assist Hanuman. But Hanuman was returning from the battle and addressed Shri Rama: samare yudhyamānānām asmākam preksatām ca sah, jaghāna rudatīm sītām indrajid rāvaṇātmajaḥ/ udbhrāntacittas tām dṛṣṭvā viṣaṇṇo 'ham arimdama, tad aham bhavato vṛttam vijñāpavitum āgatah/ tasva tadvacanam śrutvā rāghavah śokamūrchitah, nipapāta tadā bhūmau chinnamūla iva drumaḥ/ 'Rama Prabho! As I had left for the battle ground along with several vaanara veeraas, then we encounterd Ravana Kumara Indrajit and by his chariot Devi Sita too was seen and the duratma smashed her to death with his sword even as we were all witnessing the horror. It is in thatt terrible context, we were all truly perplexed and baffled and are hence returning to you. No sooner Rama heard the news than he swooned down senseless. Devatulya Raghunadha collapsed unconscious, the entire Vaanara sena surrounded Shri Rama and started 'sprinkling sugandha jala' on his body as if dahana karma was being initiated! Noticing as his elder brother's situation, Lakshmana broke out crying away truly non plussed. He started weeping as seated with his shouders knelt down: 'Arya! You are always lifelong true 'jitendriya' yet your 'dharmatva' and undreamt of bravery would appear wasteful.It appears that the fruitfulness of happy living of sthaavara jangamas including human beings or pashu pakshis seems certainly not to 'dharmaacharana.' In other words dharma appears irrelevant to happy living! This as now amply proved that dharma of Shri Rama's present state of affairs is inspite of dharma. After all Ravana is ever happy and joyful in life notwithstanding his open 'adharmaacharana' and hence only those who keep dharma suffer most. If only contentment of happy life appears to be irrelavant dharma adharmaas. But in normal like it is amply proven that persons of blatant and irresponsible daily life are successful while those who are aways stuck to principles are absolute failures in life.' Then Lakshmana addressed Shri Rama: vadhyante pāpakarmāno yady adharmena rāghava, vadhakarmahato dharmah sa hatah kam vadhisyati/ Raghu nandana! If a paapaachari purusha practices blatant adharma, then out of three fouths of lis life he or she should be happy and if the end of life might get uptooted, but common sense states that one is dead in the long run any how! Otherwise, if a 'jeeva' gets killed my karma vishesha, then that killing should be due to that very jeeva had perpetrated in this or previous life. If there is no angle of 'prateekara', then how a wanton killing is possible. Thus my confirmed view states that only a timid, asamartha, and despicable person could ever had done this kind of atrocity. Arthasamśrito

dharmo vināśayati rāghava, sarvam etad yathākāmam kākutstha kurute narah/ mama cedam matam tāta dharmo 'yam iti rāghaya, dharmamūlam tyayā chinnam rājyam utsrjatā tadā/ Raghu nandana! Dharma devoid of purushathas like artha amd kaama ought to lead to shatru naashana. Only that distinguished person who practises dharma as an essential and of integrated practice of the purusharthaas would win the race. Raghava! That was how, you have the accreditation of having discarded the Ayodhya Saamraajya and proved to the world that artha without dharma had no base at all and hence vindicated the truth of proper living.arthebhyo hi vivrddhebhyah samvrddhebhyas tatas tatah, kriyāh sarvāh pravartante parvatebhya iyapagah/ arthena hi yiyuktasya purusasyalpatejasah, yyucchidyante kriyah sarya grīsme kusarito yathā/ so 'yam artham parityajya sukhakāmah sukhaidhitah, pāpam ārabhate kartum tathā dosah pravartate/ Just as riveres flow out from parvatas down to earth for the benefit of all the beings in srishti, your nishkaama dharma is truly commendable and exemplary. Those 'manda buddhi' purushasa are only clinging to materialism only are bound to be dried up sooner than later like the waters of rivers and wells by the onset of severe summer. Those purushas who are ever clinging to desires with uprooted dharma are subjected to taadana-bandhana-doshaprapi for ever. harşah kāmas ca darpas ca dharmah krodhah samo damah, arthād etāni sarvāni pravartante narādhipa/ tvavi pravrajite vīra guros ca vacane sthite, rakṣasāpahṛtā bhāryā prāṇaiḥ priyatarā tava/ Narashvara Shri Rama! True prosperity and wealth of lasting life is necessarily anchored to harsha-kaama-darpa-dharma-krodha-shama-and dama are happiness-longing- justified pride- genuine virtuosity-and desirable anger- and equanimity and self control. Raghu veera! You had no doubt vindicated dharma by 'pitru vaakya paripaalana'and 'aranya vaasa' bot the rakhsha had forcibly kidnapped and kept under duress. tad adya vipulam vīra duḥkham indrajitā krtam, karmanā vyapanesvāmi tasmād uttistha rāghava/ ayam anagha tavoditah privārtham; janakasutā nidhanam nirīksya rustah, sahayagajarathām sarāksasendrām; bhṛśam iṣubhir vinipātayāmi lankām/ Indeed, today, Indrajit had caused us unparalleled distress to all of us; worry not, Rama, I should certainly cruble him to duasr rightaway, but kindly wake up now for good most certainl. Nara Shreshtha! Maha Baaho! Kindly wakeup now with full senses and wha all I am stating now is not merely to please you but to assert my self now that the Janaka Naidini Sita's mrityu varta be such as to urgenly demand the act of retribution and firm up by my ever aroused passion of anguished desperation.

Sarga Eighty Four

Vibhishana spelt out Ravanasura's insane desire for Devi Sita that he could ever imagine her being killed and Indrajit fooled Hanuman and vaanaras of Maya Sita but attack Indrajit's abhichhara yagna instantly.

Rāmam āśvāsayāne tu lakşmane bhrātrvatsale, nikṣipya gulmān svasthāne tatrāgacchad vibhīṣaṇaḥ/ nānāpraharaṇair vīraiś caturbhiḥ sacivair vṛtaḥ, nīlāñjanacayākārair mātaṃgair iva yūthapah/ so 'bhigamya mahātmānam rāghavam śokalālasam, vānarām's caiva dadr'se bāspaparyākuleksanān/ rāghavam ca mahātmānam iksvākukulanandanam, dadarśa moham āpannam laksmanasvānkam āśritam/ vrīditam šokasamtaptam drstvā rāmam vibhīsanah, antarduhkhena dīnātmā kim etad iti so 'bravīt/ vibhīşaṇa mukham dṛṣṭvā sugrīvam tāmś ca vānarān, uvāca lakṣmaṇo vākyam idam bāṣpapariplutaḥ/ hatām indrajitā sītām iha śrutvaiva rāghavah,hanūmad vacanāt saumva tato moham upāgatah/ kathayantam tu saumitrim samnivārya vibhīsanah, puskalārtham idam vākyam visamiñam rāmam abravīt/ manujendrārtarūpena yad uktas tvam hanūmatā, tad ayuktam aham manye sāgarasyeva śoṣaṇam/ abhiprāyam tu jānāmi rāvaṇasya durātmanaḥ,sītām prati mahābāho na ca ghātam karisyati/ yācyamānah subahuśo mayā hitacikīrṣuṇā, vaidehīm utsrjasveti na ca tat kṛtavān vacah/ naiva sāmnā na bhedena na dānena kuto yudhā, sā draṣṭum api śakyeta naiva cānyena kena cit/ vānarān mohayitvā tu pratiyātah sa rāksasah, caityam nikumbhilām nāma yatra homam karisyati/hutavān upayāto hi devair api savāsavaih, durādharso bhavaty esa samgrāme rāvanātmajah/ tena mohayatā nūnam esā māyā prayojitā, vighnam anvicchatā tāta vānarānām parākrame, sasainyās tatra gacchāmo yāvat tan na samāpyate/ tyajemam naraśārdūlamithyā samtāpam āgatam, sīdate hi balam sarvam dṛṣṭvā tvām śokakarśitam/ iha tvam svastha hrdavas tistha sattvasamucchritah, laksmanam presayāsmābhih saha sainvānukarsibhih/

eṣa taṁ naraśārdūlo rāvaṇiṁ niśitaiḥ śaraiḥ, tyājayiṣyati tat karma tato vadhyo bhaviṣyati/ tasyaite niśitās tīkṣṇāḥ patripatrāṅgavājinaḥ, patatriṇa ivāsaumyāḥ śarāḥ pāsyanti śoṇitam/ tat saṁdiśa mahābāho lakṣmaṇaṁ śubhalakṣaṇam,rākṣasasya vināśāya vajraṁ vajradharo yathā/ manujavara na kālaviprakarṣo; ripunidhanaṁ prati yat kṣamo 'dya kartum, tvam atisrja ripor vadhāya bāṇīm; asurapuronmathane yathā mahendraḥ/ samāptakarmā hi sa rākṣasendro; bhavaty adṛśyaḥ samare surāsuraiḥ, yuyutsatā tena samāptakarmaṇā; bhavet surāṇām api saṁśayo mahān/

As Lakshmana having made a detailed assessment of 'dhadmaadharma vichakshana' and sought to retrieve Rama from his senselessness by asserting Indrajit's killing all by himself, Vibhishana having got the vaanara yoddhaas in readiness had arrived. He saw that a big group of vanara shreshthas were surrounding Lakshmana while Rama was lying senseless. Lakshmana was on a state of assuaging Rama and stating dharmaadharmas crying away. That was the time when Rama appeared to have regained consciousness, got up and said as to what had happened. Then Lakshmana looked at Vibhishana and Sugriva too and replied: 'Soumya! Hanuman informed you that Indrajit slashed Devi Sita and on hearing that you fell down unconscious therafter. Then Vibhishana intervened and said: Maha Raja! As Hanuman had thus informed I still feel that it could never be so. I am indeed aware that Ravana was no doubt head over heels obsessed with Devi Sita but could never allow Indrajit could ever dared to have done so. I had on several occasions requested Ravana to leave Devi Sita but never agreed. Indeed no purusha could ever win over a maha pativrata like Devi Sita by 'saama- daana- bheda prayatnas' but only by a unique battle like this. Maha Baaho Shri Rama! Rakshasa Indrajit must have taken advantage of Vaanara Sammoha, and must have presented a Maya Sita and killed her and most certainly but never otherwise. Right now, Indrajit had gone to Nikumbhila Mandira and would be preparing for an 'abhichaara homaagjana' and along with Ravana's 'samyoga' would soon become truly invinsible even my Devas and Devendra too. Indrajit must have realised that if his attention might get diverted to attacks by vaanaraas and hence left off suddenly disappeared ant retreated to the Nikumbhila. Nara shreshtha, do therefore get rid of this most unrealistic image of Indrajit's having killed Maya Sita. But right now instruct Lakshana accompanied by me and competent vaanara sheshthas to attack Indrajit disallowing him to perform the abhichaarika homa. Lakshmana's 'baana teevrata' and unimaginable precision should prove to severe Indrajit's blood cells and suck off his hot and arrogant blood flows. Maha Baho Shri Rama! Now kindly instruct the shubha lakshmana Lakshmana to lead us like Mahendra the Vajradhari atonce.

Sarga Eighty Five

<u>Following repeated exhortations of Vibhishana, Shri Rama finally dismissing Indrajit's 'maaya Sita's</u> vyavahara' instructed Lakshmana to proceed to Nikumbhila Mandira with Vibhishana and Vaanara sena

Tasya tadvacanam śrutvā rāghavaḥ śokakarśitaḥ, nopadhārayate vyaktam yad uktam tena rakṣasā/ tato dhairyam avaṣṭabhya rāmaḥ parapuramjayaḥ, vibhīṣaṇam upāsīnam uvāca kapisamnidhau/ nairṛtādhipate vākyam yad uktam te vibhīṣaṇa, bhūyas tac chrotum icchāmi brūhi yat te vivakṣitam/ rāghavasya vacaḥ śrutvā vākyam vākyaviśāradaḥ, yat tat punar idam vākyam babhāṣe sa vibhīṣaṇaḥ/ yathājñaptam mahābāho tvayā gulmaniveśanam, tat tathānuṣṭhitam vīra tvadvākyasamanantaram/ tāny anīkāni sarvāṇi vibhaktāni samantataḥ, vinyastā yūthapāś caiva yathānyāyam vibhāgaśaḥ/ bhūyas tu mama vijāpyam tac chṛṇuṣva mahāyaśaḥ, tvayy akāraṇasamtapte samtaptahṛdayā vayam/ tyaja rājann imam śokam mithyā samtāpam āgatam, tad iyam tyajyatām cintā śatruharṣavivardhanī/ udyamaḥ kriyatām vīra harṣaḥ samupasevyatām, prāptavyā yadi te sītā hantavyaś vca niśācarāḥ/ raghunandana vakṣyāmi śrūyatām me hitam vacaḥ, sādhv ayam yātu saumitrir balena mahatā vṛtaḥ, nikumbhilāyām samprāpya hantum rāvaṇim āhave/ dhanurmaṇḍalanirmuktair āśīviṣaviṣopamaiḥ, śarair hantum maheṣvāso rāvaṇim samitimjayaḥ/ tena vīreṇa tapasā varadānāt svayambhutaḥ, astram brahmaśiraḥ prāptam kāmagāś ca turamgamāḥ/nikumbhilām asamprāptam ahutāgnim ca yo ripuḥ, tvām ātatāyinam hanyād indraśatro sa te vadhaḥ, ity evam vihito rājan vadhas tasyaiva dhīmataḥ/ vadhāyendrajito rāma tam diśasva mahābalam, hate tasmin hatam viddhi rāvanam sasuhrjjanam/ vibhīsanavacah śrutva rāmo

vākyam athābravīt, jānāmi tasya raudrasya māyām satyaparākrama/ sa hi brahmāstravit prājño mahāmāyo mahābalah, karoty asamjñān samgrāme devān savarunān api/tasyāntarikse carato rathasthasya mahāyaśah, na gatir jñāyate vīrasūryasyevābhrasamplave/ rāghavas tu ripor jñātvā māyāvīryam durātmanah, lakṣmaṇam kīrtisampannam idam vacanam abravīt/ yad vānarendrasya balam tena sarvena samvrtah, hanūmatpramukhaiś caiva vūthapaih sahalaksmana/ jāmbavenarksapatinā saha sainyena samvṛtaḥ, jahi tam rākṣasasutam māyābalaviśāradam/ ayam tvām sacivaiḥ sārdham mahātmā rajanīcaraḥ, abhijñas tasya deśasya pṛṣṭhato 'nugamiṣyati/ rāghavasya vacaḥ śrutvā lakṣmaṇaḥ savibhīsanah, jagrāha kārmukam śrestham anyad bhīmaparākramah/ samnaddhah kayacī khadgī sa śarī hemacāpadhrk, rāmapādāv upasprśya hrstah saumitrir abravīt/ adya matkārmukonmukhāh śarā nirbhidya rāvanim, lankām abhipatisyanti hamsāh puskarinīm iva/ adyaiva tasya raudrasya śarīram māmakāh śarāh, vidhamisyanti hatvā tam mahācāpagunacyutāh/sa evam uktvā dyutimān vacanam bhrātur agratah, sa rāvanivadhākānksī laksmanas tvarito yayau/ so 'bhivādya guroh pādau krtvā cāpi pradakṣiṇam, nikumbhilām abhiyayau caityam rāvanipālitam/ vibhīṣanena sahito rājaputraḥ pratāpavān, kṛtasvastyayano bhrātrā lakṣmaṇas tvarito yayau/ vānarāṇām sahasrais tu hanūmān bahubhir vṛtaḥ, vibhīsanah sahāmātvas tadā laksmanam anvagāt/ mahatā harisainvena savegam abhisamvrtah, rkṣarājabalam caiva dadarśa pathi viṣṭhitam/ sa gatvā dūram adhvānam saumitrir mitranandanaḥ, rākṣasendrabalam dūrād apaśyad vyūham āsthitam/ sa samprāpya dhanuṣpāṇir māyāyogam arimdama, tasthau brahmavidhānena vijetum raghunandanah/ vividham amalaśastrabhāsvaram tad: dhvajagahanam vipulam mahārathais ca, pratibhayatamam aprameyavegam; timiram iva dvisatām balam viveśa/

As Vibhishana hastened Shri Rama to instruct Laksmana to attack Indrajit at Nikumbhila Mandira, the latter was yet to recover from the shock of Sita's killing. Hanuman then intervened and asked Vibhishana to please annotate what he had meant. Vibhishana then again stressed once again to Shri Rama: Kindly never get upset this make believe Maya Sita but am re-emphasising again repeatedly to instruct Lakshmana as suggested. raghunandana vaksyāmi śrūyatām me hitam vacah, sādhv ayam yātu saumitrir balena mahatā vṛtaḥ, nikumbhilāyām samprāpya hantum rāvaṇim āhave/ dhanurmaṇḍalanirmuktair āśīvisavisopamaih, śarair hantum mahesvāso rāvanim samitimjavah/ tena vīrena tapasā varadānāt svavambhutah, astram brahmasirah prāptam kāmagās ca turamgamāh/ Raghunandana! Kindly take my words carefully as I am asserting repeatedly in our own interest; as Indrajit had nearly approached Nikumbhila Mandira, Sumitra Kumara be accompanied by vanara veeraas and attack Ravana putra at once. Let Maha dhanurdhara Lakshmana with his mandalaakaara dhanush release 'visha purita sarpatulya bhayanaka baana varshas' and devastate Indrajit but this action be taken up well before the 'kratu samapta'.nikumbhilām asamprāptam ahutāgnim ca yo ripuh, tvām ātatāyinam hanyād indraśatro sa te vadhah, ity evam vihito rājan vadhas tasyaiva dhīmatah/ vadhāyendrajito rāma tam diśasva mahābalam, hate tasmin hatam viddhi rāvaṇam sasuhrjjanam/ Brahma blessed Indrajit asserting that under the 'nikubkbha naamaka vata vriksha' he should complete the 'havana sambandhi karya krama', lest there would be the certain killing by his opponent. That is why Shri Rama: I am once again requesting you to let Lakshmana kill Indrajit most uegently' As Vibhishana reassereted repeatedly Shri Rama replied! ' Satyaparakrami Vibhishana! I am now realising that bhayankaara rakshas's 'maaya sita prayoga' by now. He is a Brahmastra jnaata, maayaavi and maha balavan who made devaas like varuna too flustered'. Then Rama instructed Lakshmana to let the vanara pramukha sena of Sugriva too including Hanuman, Riksha Raja Jambavan and such others and kill mayavi Indrajit for ever'. He further advised Vibhishana to let Lakshmana be constantly advised regarding the maya pravritti of Indrajit and be with Lakshmana along with his faithful ministers. Then Lakshmana touched Shri Rama's feet and proceeded towards the Nishkumbhila Mandira along with Vibhishana and followed by Hamuman Jambavan Vaanara bhalluka veeraas..

Sarga Eighty Six

On arrival at the Nikumbhila, Vaanara Rakshasa battle followed -Hanuman challenged Indrajit for malla yuddha, Indrajit raised his dhanur banaas against Hanuman, but Lakshmana raised his dhanush instead.

Atha tasyām avasthāyām lakşmaṇam rāvaṇānujaḥ, pareṣām ahitam vākyam arthasādhakam abravīt/ asvānīkasva mahato bhedane vatalaksmana, rāksasendrasuto 'pv atra bhinne drśvo bhavisvati/ sa tvam indrāśaniprakhyaih śarair avakiran parān, abhidravāśu yāvad vai naitat karma samāpyate/ jahi vīradurātmānam māyāparam adhārmikam, rāvaṇim krūrakarmāṇam sarvalokabhayāvaham/ vibhīsanavacah śrutvā laksmanah śubhalaksanah, vavarsa śaravarsāni rāksasendrasutam prati/ rksāh śākhāmrgāś caiva drumādrivarayodhinah, abhyadhāvanta sahitās tad anīkam avasthitam/rāksasāś ca śitair bānair asibhih śaktitomaraih, udvataih samavartanta kapisainyajighāmsavah/ sa samprahāras tumulah samjajñe kapiraksasām, śabdena mahatā lankām nādayan vai samantatah/ śastrair bahuvidhākāraih śitair bānaiś ca pādapaih, udyatair giriśrngaiś ca ghorair ākāśam āvrtam/ te rāksasā vānareşu vikṛtānanabāhavah, niveśayantaḥ śastrāṇi cakrus te sumahad bhayam/ tathaiva sakalair vṛkṣair giriśrngaiś ca vānarāh, abhijaghnur nijaghnuś ca samare rāksasarsabhān/ rksavānaramukhvaiś ca mahākāyair mahābalaih, raksasām vadhvamānānām mahad bhayam ajāyata/ syam anīkam visannam tu śrutvā śatrubhir arditam, udatisthata durdharsas tat karmany ananusthite/ vṛkṣāndhakārān niṣkramya jātakrodhaḥ sa rāvaṇiḥ, āruroha ratham sajjam pūrvayuktam sa rākṣasaḥ/ sa bhīmakārmukaśaraḥ kṛṣṇāñjanacayopamah, raktāṣyanayanah krūro babhau mṛṭyur iyāntakah/ dṛṣṭyaiya tu rathaṣṭhaṁ taṁ paryavartata tad balam, raksasām bhīmavegānām laksmanena yuyutsatām/ tasmin kāle tu hanumān udyamya sudurāsadam, dharaṇīdharasamkāśī mahāvṛkṣam arimdamah/ sa rākṣasānām tat sainyam kālāgnir iva nirdahan, cakāra bahubhir vṛkṣair niḥsamjñam yudhi vānarah/ vidhvamsayantam tarasā drstvaiva pavanātmajam, rāksasānām sahasrāni hanūmantam avākiran/ śitaśūladharāh śūlair asibhiś cāsipānayah, śaktibhih śaktihastāś ca pattasaih pattasāyudhāh/ parighaiś ca gadābhiś ca kuntaiś ca śubhadarśanaih, śataśaś ca śataghnībhir āyasair api mudgaraih/ ghoraih paraśubhiś caiva bhindipālaiś ca rāksasāh, mustibhir vajravegaiś ca talair aśanisamnibhaih/ abhijaghnuh samāsādya samantāt parvatopamam, tesām api ca samkruddhaś cakāra kadanam mahat/ sa dadarśa kapiśrestham acalopamam indrajit, sūdayānam amitraghnam amitrān pavanātmajam/ sa sārathīm uvācedam yāhi vatraisa vānarah, ksayam eva hi nah kuryād rāksasānām upeksitah/ity uktah sārathis tena yayau yatra sa mārutih, vahan paramadurdharsam sthitam indrajitam rathe/ so 'bhvupetya śarān khadgān paṭṭasāsiparaśvadhān, abhyavarṣata durdharṣaḥ kapimūrdhni sa rākṣasaḥ/ tāni śastrāṇi ghorāṇi pratigrhya sa mārutih, rosena mahatāviso vākyam cedam uvāca ha/yudhyasva yadi śūro 'si rāvanātmaja durmate, vāyuputram samāsādya na jīvan pratiyāsyasi/ bāhubhyām samprayudhyasva yadi me dvandvam āhave, vegam sahasva durbuddhe tatas tvam raksasām varah/ hanūmantam jighāmsantam samudyataśarāsanam, rāvanātmajam ācaste laksmanāya vibhīsanah/ yas tu vāsavanirjetā rāvaṇasyātmasambhavaḥ, sa eṣa ratham āsthāya hanūmantam jighāmsati/ tam apratimasamsthānaiḥ śaraih śatruvidāraṇaih, jīvitāntakarair ghoraih saumitre rāvaṇim jahi/ ity evam uktas tu tadā mahātmā; vibhīṣaṇenārivibhīṣaṇena, dadarśa tam parvatasamnikāśam; rathasthitam bhīmabalam durāsadam/

Having arrived at the Nikumbhila Mandir, Vibhishana pointed at the mayavi Indrajit to Lakshmana and asked him to quickly release his arrows well before the havana sampurnata and so did Lakshmana as Indrajit was truly taken aback and so were the Rakshasas. Vanara yoddhas started hurling vrikshas and boulderes as rakshasaas relipied with their 'ayudhas'. Ravana Kumars was highly enraged since the attack was just at the close of the homa karya and even with the clothes meant for purpose had to perforce alight in his chariot with his bhayankara dhanush baanaas with red eyes like agni jwaalaas. Menwhile Hanuman had swifly attacked the rakshasaas who too were hurling their arrows and ayudhas like shulas, shaktis, pattishas, parighas and so on. Hanuman then came into his true form chasing the rakshasaas and devastating by his jumpings and flyings. Then realising this, Indrajit instructed his saradhi to reach him to Hanuman and launched heavy tosses of arrows, parighas and shulaas. Then Panana Kumara challenged Indrajit:tāni śastrāṇi ghorāṇi pratigṛhya sa mārutḥ, roṣeṇa mahatāviṣo vākyaṁ cedam uvāca ha/ yudhyasva yadi śūro 'si rāvaṇātmaja durmate, vāyuputraṁ samāsādya na jīvan pratiyāsyasi/ bāhubhyāṁ saṃprayudhyasva yadi me dvandvam āhave, vegaṁ sahasva durbuddhe tatas

tvam rakṣasām varaḥ/He roared at Indrajit asserting: 'Durbuddhi Ravana Kumara! If you imagine yourself as a 'shura veera' do try me for a 'malla yuddha' and make sure if you might survive from this Vayu Putra. Durmati! If you could survive still, then you might be considered as a true raakshasa veera. hanūmantam jighāmsantam samudyataśarāsanam, rāvaṇātmajam ācaṣṭe lakṣmaṇāya vibhīṣaṇaḥ/ yas tu vāsavanirjetā rāvaṇasyātmasambhavaḥ, sa eṣa ratham āsthāya hanūmantam jighāmsati/ tam apratima samsthānaiḥ śaraiḥ śatruvidāraṇaiḥ, jīvitāntakarair ghoraiḥ saumitre rāvaṇim jahi/ ity evam uktas tu tadā mahātmā; vibhīṣaṇenārivibhīṣaṇena, dadarśa tam parvatasamnikāśam; rathasthitam bhīmabalam durāsadam/Then Indrajit desired to eliminate Vaayu Purta and raised his dhanur baanaas. That precisely the time when Vibhishana addressed Lakshmana: Sumitra Kumara! Are you noting that instead of accepting Hanuman's challenge for malla yuddha Indrajit raised his 'dhanur baanaas'. This is the time when you should divert Indrajit's course of his arrows against Hanuman to you. Thus counselled, Lakshmana noticed what Indrajit was up to.

Sarga Eighty Seven

<u>Indrajit heckles Vibhishana for discarding his 'swadhama' to join Rama but Vibhishana details of his</u> Poulastya ancestry, highlights Rayana's 'duraachaaras' and to get ready to be soon killed by Lakshmana!

Evam uktvā tu saumitrim jātaharşo vibhīşaṇaḥ, dhanuṣpāṇinam ādāya tvaramāṇo jagāma saḥ/ avidūram tato gatvā pravišya ca mahad vanam, daršayām āsa tat karma lakṣmaṇāya vibhīṣaṇaḥ/ nīlajīmūtasamkāśam nyagrodham bhīmadarśanam, tejasvī rāvaṇabhrātā lakṣmaṇāya nyavedayat/ ihopahāram bhūtānām balavān rāvaṇātajaḥ, upahṛtya tataḥ paścāt samgrāmam abhivartate/ adṛśyaḥ sarvabhūtānām tato bhavati rāksasah, nihanti samare satrūn badhnāti ca sarottamaih/ tam apravistam nyagrodham balinam rāvanātmajam, vidhvamsaya śarais tīksnaih saratham sāśvasārathim/ tathety uktvā mahātejāh saumitrir mitranandanah, babhūvāvasthitas tatra citram visphārayan dhanuh/ sa rathenāgnivarnena balavān rāvaṇātmajaḥ, indrajit kavacī khaḍgī sadhvajaḥ pratyadṛśyata/ tam uvāca mahātejāh paulastvam aparājitam, samāhvave tvām samare samvag vuddham pravaccha me/ evam ukto mahātejā manasvī rāvanātmajah, abravīt parusam vākvam tatra drstvā vibhīsanam/ iha tvam jātasamvrddhaḥ sākṣād bhrātā pitur mama, katham druhyasi putrasya pitrvyo mama rākṣasa/ na jñātitvam na sauhārdam na jātis tava durmate, pramānam na ca sodaryam na dharmo dharmadūsana/ śocyas tvam asi durbuddhe nindanīyaś ca sādhubhiḥ, yas tvam svajanam utsrjya parabhrtyatvam āgataḥ/ naitac chithilayā buddhyā tvam vetsi mahad antaram, kva ca svajanasamvāsah kva ca nīcaparāśrayah/ gunavān vā parajanah svajano nirguno 'pi vā, nirgunah svajanah śreyān yah parah para eva sah/ niranukrośatā ceyam yādṛśī te niśācara, svajanena tvayā śakyam paruṣam rāvaṇānuja/ ity ukto bhrātrputrena pratyuvāca vibhīṣaṇah, ajānann iva macchīlam kim rākṣasa vikatthase/ rākṣasendrasutāsādho pāruṣyam tyaja gauravāt, kule yady apy aham jāto rakṣasām krūrakarmaṇām, guno 'yam prathamo nr̄nām tan me śīlam arāksasam/ na rame dārunenāham na cādharmena vai rame, bhrātrā visamašīlena katham bhrātā nirasyate/ parasvānām ca haranam paradārābhimarsanam, suhrdām atiśankām ca trayo doṣāḥ kṣayāvahāḥ/ maharṣīṇām vadho ghoraḥ sarvadevaiś ca vigrahaḥ, abhimānaś ca kopaś ca vairitvam pratikūlatā/ ete dosā mama bhrātur jīvitaiśvaryanāśanāh, gunān pracchādayām āsuḥ parvatān iva toyadāḥ/ doṣair etaiḥ parityakto mayā bhrātā pitā tava, neyam asti purī laṅkā na ca tvaṁ na ca te pitā/ atimānī ca bālaś ca durvinītaś ca rāksasa, baddhas tvaṁ kālapāśena brūhi mām yad yad icchasi/ adya te vyasanam prāptam kim iha tvam tu vaksyasi, pravestum na tvayā śakyo nyagrodho rākṣasādhama/ dharṣayitvā tu kākutsthau na śakyam jīvitum tvayā, yudhyasva naradevena lakşmanena rane saha, hatas tvam devatā kāryam karişyasi yamakşaye/ nidarśayasvātmabalam samudyatam; kuruşva sarvāyudhasāyakavyayam, na lakṣmaṇasyaitya hi bānagocaram; tvam adya jīvan sabalo gamisyasi/

Vibhishana then showed the Maha Barakata Vriksha or the massive Arjun Tree under which Indrajit regularly performed his 'karmanushthaana' and should all the worship material 'puja saamagri' there, and

did 'bhuta bali' before attacking the enemies. That is why Rakshasaas create hallucinations by the 'abhichaarika homa prakriyas'. Thus by disappearing effects rakshasaas could comfortably devastate the vaanara sena.

[Vishleshana on Bhuta Bali

Maha Bhuta Bali of Earth-Water-Fire-Air-and Sky; Bhuteshwara Bali or feeding Sacred Divinity; Vastu bali or nitya naivedya of puja material including havana paatras-Bhuta srishti or creation of illusions as for instanace the illusion of Maya Sita referred to in previous sargas - Bali Daana or oblations in respect of sacrifices including human-horse - goat- chicken sacrifices and also Bhuta Daya.

In this very context Dharma Sindhu details as follows: 'The Kartha should first perform Pancha Yagnas, pick up the 'seshaghritanna' from the Bhojana Paatra, serve it with his right hand wearing a knotless pavitra, stating Om Bhur -bhuvasswaha tat savitur varenyam bhargo Devasya dheemahi, does the 'abhimantrana' and Satyamtwartena parishimchaami/ (in the nights Rutamtwa satyena parishimchami); after doing the 'parishena', state Antascharati bhuteshu guhaayaam Vishwato mukhah, Twam yagnastwam vashatkaarastwam Vishnuh Purusha parah/, offer three Balis uttering Bhupataye namah, Bhuvana pataye namah, Bhutaanaam pataye namah/ or Chitraaya, Chitra guptaaya, Yamaaya, Yama Dharmaauya, Sarva Bhutebhyah as the fourth Bali; ensure that his hands, feet and face are wet, take water in hand for 'Aouposshana' stating Annam Brahma Raso Vishnuh, Aham Vaishvaanaro bhutwa/; drink the water uttering Amritopastaranamasi, keep silent for a while to perform five Aahutis to the face / mouth picking up five morsels of food with all the fingers stating: Om Pranaaya swaaha, Om Apanaaya swaha, Om Vyanaaya swaha, Om Udaanaaya swaha, Om Samaanaaya swaaha and the sixth word Om Brahmaney swaaha/ The Karta should not touch the Jala Patra till the 'praanaahutis' are over and then touch it and while observing silence commence eating the Bhojana. It is the best facing the East or West while eating; seating southward provides fulfillment and fame; facing North is of medium value; but one should never eat facing in the 'Vidishas']

Stanza 8 onwards:

sa rathenāgnivarņena balavān rāvaņātmajaḥ, indrajit kavacī khadgī sadhvajaḥ pratyadṛśyata/ Then as Indrajit fresh from the homa karya, although the same was inconclusive, alighted on his chariot, with kavacha-khadga- dhwaja, and heard Lakshmana's high pitched tone while Vobhishana too was standing beside him. Indrajit then shouted on Vibhishana as follows: 'Rahshasa! After having been born as Rakshasa as my own paternal uncle you seem to have too big now having joined hands with my sworn enemies as a kula-kutumba -bhraatru-kalankita drohi! You have no sense of 'kartavya-akrartavya maryada'. Durbuddhi! You are a 'kula brashtha' as 'swajana parityaagi' and 'paraaya jana dasyatva maha ghana murti!' Indeed you have no sense of shame as you hardly realise the moral dictum of 'Shreyaan svadharmo nirgunah paradharmaatyanishthitaat, svadharme nidhanam shreyah paradharmobhaya apahah/ Even one's own the 'dharma' or way of life might appear listless and that of other's looks more attractive, one ought to firmly believe in one's own as that of others is fearful and least respected!.gunavān vā parajanah svajano nirguņo 'pi vā, nirguņah svajanah śreyān yah parah para eva sah/Yah swapaksham parityajya para paksham nishevate, sa swapakshe kshayam yaate paschaat taireva hanyate/ niranukrośatā ceyam yādrśī te niśācara, svajanena tvayā śakyam paruṣam rāvaṇānuja/ Even if the opposition looks 'gunavaan' even so, do you not realise that another or yet another opposition could be opted for as a childs play! Great Ravana's younger brother, I am shamed of you and hate to address you as my uncle. You have arrived here with Lakshmana to kill me; could one dream of such shamelesness and senselessness! ity ukto bhrātrputrena pratyuvāca vibhīsanah, ajānann iva macchīlam kim rāksasa vikatthase/ rāksasendrasutāsādho pārusyam tyaja gauravāt, kule yady apy aham jāto rakṣasām krūrakarmaṇām, guṇo 'yam prathamo nṛṇām tan me śīlam arākṣasam/ na rame dāruṇenāham na cādharmena vai rame, bhrātrā visamaśīlena katham bhrātā nirasvate/ Having heard Indrajit's

shouting on him, Vibhishana replied: 'Rakshasa! Why are you yelling at my 'swadharma' as a Rakshasa knowing fully about my own mind set anchored to some principles! Stupid Rakshasa Raja Putra! Yes I am too a rakshasa by surroundings yet neither my birth nor of upbringing of Pulastya Brahma and certainly not of my nature in accordance with my 'dharmaacharana' too. Adhama Rakshasa Kumara! Suddenly you are seeking to teach me about 'swadharma' and 'kula samskaara' and 'para dharma and swadharma' but do you realise of what 'dharma and samskaara' is all about! My swabhava is truly in tune with my kula-and samskara and certainly not of degenerated- pashu vaada rakshasa pravritti of himsaand kruratva or violence and sheer cruelty. My principle is against 'krurataa purna karma'. Believe me if an elder brother were to be of morality, would not a younger brother of some moral compunction like to leave him ever! parasvānām ca haraṇam paradārābhimarśanam, suhrdām atiśankām ca trayo doṣāḥ ksayāvahāh/ maharsīnām vadho ghorah sarvadevais ca vigrahah, abhimānas ca kopas ca vairitvam pratikūlatā/ ete doṣā mama bhrātur jīvitaiśvaryanāśanāḥ, guṇān pracchādayām āsuḥ parvatān iva toyadāh/ He who is desirous of looting and misusing 'para dhana' -as for instance of cousin brother's puspaka vimana and weath- of 'para steee vaancha'- and of adhika shankhaa ans avishvaasa of one's own sahodara of some moral compunction establishes monumental examples of his disgusting deportment! Further, bhayankara killings of Maharshis, sumpurana devata virodha, durabhimaana, maha rosha, arrogant and self opiniated psyche are all your father's patent charactetistics. doşair etaiḥ parityakto mayā bhrātā pitā tava, nevam asti purī lankā na ca tvam na ca te pitā/ atimānī ca bālaś ca durvinītaś ca rāksasa, baddhas tvam kālapāsena brūhi mām yad yad icchasi/ adya te vyasanam prāptam kim iha tvam tu vaksyasi, pravestum na tvayā śakyo nyagrodho rākṣasādhama/ Durahankari Indrajit! That was why I had to discard your so called 'swadharma' asserting your own 'swadharme nidhanam shreyah' as I could not be any further 'atyaachaaraas' of the highest 'moral turpitude' and further! Now neither this kind of immoral Lankapuri would last, nor you and most certainly the treta yuga dushyaatma Ravana! Rakshasa! You are an 'atyanta durabhimaani and baala murkha'! beware, you are now in the 'kaala paasha' of veera Lakshmana very soon. Neecha Rakshasa! What all you had blabbered a while ago about 'swadharma' and need of unity despite your immorality would not be spared even under this shade of maha barakata vriksha! dharşayitvā tu kākutsthau na śakyam jīvitum tvayā, yudhyasva naradevena lakşmaņena raņe saha, hatas tvam devatā kārvam karisvasi vamaksave/ nidaršavasvātmabalam samudvatam; kurusva sarvāyudha -sāyakayyayam, na laksmanasyaitya hi bānagocaram; tyam adya jīyan sabalo gamisyasi/ Now do realise that by your blatant and arrogant attack on Lakshmana would soon be wound up by 'kaala paasha' to despatch you to Yama loka and thus make way for the fruition of 'deva kaarya'. Therefore, do kindly cooperate Lakshmana with your death as soon as possibe!

Sarga Eighty Eight

<u>Lakshmana-Indrajit exchange of hot words followed by fierce battle mutually yet physically hurting each</u> other on and on but never tired despite blisters and flows of blood as Vibhishana attacked Indrajit.

Vibhīṣaṇa vacaḥ śrutvā rāvaṇiḥ krodhamūrchitaḥ, abravīt paruṣaṁ vākyaṁ vegenābhyutpapāta ha/
udyatāyudhanistriṁśo rathe tu samalaṁkrte, kālāśvayukte mahati sthitaḥ kālāntakopamaḥ/ mahā pramāṇam udyamya vipulaṁ vegavad dṛḍham, dhanur bhīmaṁ parāmrśya śarāṁś cāmitranāśanān/
uvācainaṁ samārabdhaḥ saumitriṁ savibhīṣaṇam, tāṁś ca vānaraśārdūlān paśyadhvaṁ me
parākramam/ adya matkārmukotsrṣṭaṁ śaravarṣaṁ durāsadam, muktaṁ varṣaṁ ivākāśe vārayiṣyatha
saṁyuged/ adya vo māmakā bāṇā mahākārmukaniḥsrtāḥ, vidhamiṣyanti gātrāṇi tūlarāśim ivānalaḥ/
tīkṣṇasāyakanirbhinnāñ śūlaśaktyṛṣṭitomaraiḥ, adya vo gamayiṣyāmi sarvān eva yamakṣayam/ kṣipataḥ
śaravarṣāṇi kṣiprahastasya me yudhi, jīmūtasyeva nadataḥ kaḥ sthāsyati mamāgrataḥ/ tac chrutvā
rākṣasendrasya garjitaṁ lakṣmaṇas tadā, abhītavadanaḥ kruddho rāvaṇiṁ vākyaṁ abravīt/ uktaś ca
durgamaḥ pāraḥ kāryāṇāṁ rākṣasa tvayā, kāryāṇāṁ karmaṇā pāraṁ yo gacchati sa buddhimān/ sa tvam
arthasya hīnārtho duravāpasya kena cit, vaco vyāhṛtya jānīṣe kṛtārtho 'smīti durmate' antardhāna gatenājau vas tvavācaritas tadā, taskarācarito mārgo naisa vīranisevitah/ yathā bānapathaṁ prāpya

sthito 'ham tava rāksasa, darśayasvādya tat tejo vācā tvam kim vikatthase/ evam ukto dhanur bhīmam parāmrśya mahābalah, sasarje niśitān bānān indrajit samijimjaya/ te nisrstā mahāvegāh śarāh sarpavisopamāh, samprāpya laksmanam petuh śvasanta iva pannagāh/ śarair atimahāvegair vegavān rāvaṇātmajaḥ, saumitrim indrajid yuddhe vivyādha śubhalakṣaṇam/ sa śarair atividdhāngo rudhireṇa samuksitah, śuśubhe laksmanah śrīmān vidhūma iva pāvakah/ indrajit tv ātmanah karma prasamīkṣyādhigamya ca, vinadya sumahānādam idam vacanam abravīt/ patriṇaḥ śitadhārās te śarā matkārmukacyutāḥ, ādāsyante 'dya saumitre jīvitam jīvitāntagāḥ/ adya gomāyusamghāś ca śyenasamghāś ca lakşmana, grdhrāś ca nipatantu tvām gatāsum nihatam mayā/ kṣatrabandhuh sadānāryo rāmah paramadurmatih, bhaktam bhrātaram advaiva tvām draksyati mayā hatam/ viśastakavacam bhūmau vyapaviddhaśarāsanam, hṛtottamāngam saumitre tvām adya nihatam mayā/ iti bruvānam samrabdham parusam rāvanātmajam, hetumadvākyam atyartham laksmanah pratyuvāca ha/ akrtvā katthase karma kimartham iha rāksasa, kuru tat karma yenāham śraddadhyām tava katthanam/ anuktvā paruşam vākyam kim cid apy anavaksipan, avikatthan vadhisyāmi tvām paśya puruṣādana/ ity uktvā pañcanārācān ākarṇāpūritāñ śarān, nicakhāna mahāvegāml lakṣmaṇo rākṣasorasi/ sa śarair āhatas tena saroso rāvanātmajah, supravuktais tribhir bānaih prativivvādha laksmanam/ sa babhūva mahābhīmo nararākṣasasimhayoḥ, vimardas tumulo yuddhe parasparavadhaisiṇoḥ/ ubhau hi balasampannāv ubhau vikramaśālinau, ubhāv api suvikrāntau sarvaśastrāstrakovidau/ ubhau paramadurjeyāv atulyabalatejasau, yuyudhāte mahāvīrau grahāv iva nabho gatau/ balavṛtrāv iva hi tau yudhi vai duspradharsanau, yuyudhāte mahātmānau tadā kesarināv iva/ bahūn avasrjantau hi mārgaņaughān avasthitau, nararākṣasasimhau tau prahṛṣṭāv abhyayudhyatām/ susamprahṛṣṭau nararākṣasottamau; jayaiṣiṇau mārgaṇacāpadhāriṇau, parasparam tau pravavarṣatur bhṛśam; śaraughavarsena balāhakāv iva/

tatah saram dāsarathih samdhāyāmitrakarsanah, sasarja rāksasendrāya kruddhah sarpa iva svasan/ tasya jyātalanirghosam sa śrutvā rāvanātmajah, vivarnavadano bhūtvā laksmanam samudaiksata/ tam visannamukham dṛstvā rāksasam rāvanātmajam, saumitrim yuddhasamsaktam pratyuvāca vibhīsanah/ nimittāny anupaśyāmi yāny asmin rāvaṇātmaje, tvara tena mahābāho bhagna esa na samśayah/ tatah saṃdhāya saumitrih śarān agniśikhopamān, mumoca niśitāṃs tasmai sarvān iva visolbanān/ śakrāśanisamasparśair laksmanenāhatah śaraih, muhūrtam abhavan mūdhah sarvasamksubhitendrivah/ upalabhya muhūrtena samjñām pratyāgatendriyaḥ, dadarśāvasthitam vīram vīro daśarathātmajam/ so 'bhicakrāma saumitrim rosāt samraktalocanah, abravīc cainam āsādya punah sa parusam vacah/ kim na smarasi tad yuddhe prathame matparākramam, nibaddhas tvam saha bhrātrā yadā yudhi vicestase/ yuvā khalu mahāyuddhe śakrāśanisamaih śaraih, śāyinau prathamam bhūmau visamjñau sapurahsarau/smrtir vā nāsti te manye vyaktam vā yamasādanam, gantum icchasi yasmāt tvam mām dharsayitum icchasi/ yadi te prathame yuddhe na drsto matparākramah, adya tvām daršayisyāmi tisthedānīm vyavasthitah/ ity uktvā saptabhir bāṇair abhivivyādha lakṣmaṇam, daśabhiś ca hanūmantam tīkṣṇadhāraiḥ śarottamaih/ tatah sarasatenaiva suprayuktena vīryavān, krodhād dviguņasamrabdho nirbibheda vibhīsanam/ tad drstvendrajitah karma krtam rāmānujas tadā, acintavitvā prahasan naitat kim cid iti bruvan/mumoca sa śarān ghorān saṃgrhya narapuṃgayah, abhītavadanah kruddho rāyaniṃ laksmano yudhi/ naiyaṃ raṇagataḥ śūrāḥ praharanti niśācara, laghavaś cālpavīryāś ca sukhā hīme śarās tava/ naivam śūrās tu yudhyante samare jayakāṅksinah, ity evam tam bruvānas tu śaravarsair avākirat/ tasya bānais tu vidhvastam kavacam hemabhūsitam, vyaśīryata rathopasthe tārājālam ivāmbarāt/ vidhūtavarmā nārācair babhūva sa kṛtavranah, indrajit samare śūrah prarūdha iva sānumān/ abhīksnam niśvasantau hi yudhyetām tumulam yudhi, śarasamkṛttasarvāngo sarvato rudhirokṣitau/ astrāny astravidām śreṣṭhau darśayantau punaḥ punaḥ, śarān uccāvacākārān antarikṣe babandhatuḥ/ vyapetadoṣam asyantau laghucitram ca susthu ca, ubhau tu tumulam ghoram cakratur nararākṣasau/ tayoḥ pṛthakpṛthag bhīmah śuśruve talanisvanaḥ, sughorayor niṣṭanator gagane meghayor iva/ te gātrayor nipatitā rukmapunkhāḥ śarā yudhi, asrgdigdhā vinispetur viviśur dharanītalam/ anyaih suniśitaih śastrair ākāśe samjaghattire, babhañjuś cicchiduś cāpi tayor bānāh sahasraśah/ sa babhūva rane ghoras tayor bānamayaś cayah, agnibhyām iva dīptābhyām satre kuśamayaś cayaḥ/ tayoḥ krtavraṇau dehau śuśubhāte mahātmanoḥ, sapuspāv iva nispatrau vane śālmalikumśukau/ cakratus tumulam ghoram samnipātam muhur muhuh,

indrajil lakṣmaṇaś caiva parasparajayaiṣiṇau/ lakṣmaṇo rāvaṇiṁ yuddhe rāvaṇiś cāpi lakṣmaṇam, anyonyaṁ tāv abhighnantau na śramaṁ pratyapadyatām/ bāṇajālaiḥ śarīrasthair avagāḍhais tarasvinau, śuśubhāte mahāvīrau virūḍhāv iva parvatau/ tayo rudhirasiktāni saṁvṛtāni śarair bhṛśam, babhrājuḥ sarvagātrāṇi jvalanta iva pāvakāḥ/ tayor atha mahān kālo vyatīyād yudhyamānayoḥ, na ca tau yuddhavaimukhyaṁ śramaṁ vāpy upajagmatuḥ/ atha samarapariśramaṁ nihantuṁ; samaramukheṣv ajitasya lakṣmaṇasya, priyahitam upapādayan mahaujāḥ; samaram upetya vibhīṣaṇo 'vatasthe/

As Indrajit felt rather ashamed by what all Vibhishana explained point by point as to why he left his father essentially highlighting Ravanasura's evil mentality of para dhana-para stree vyaamoha, he was speechless for a while, yet having recovered alerted rakshasaas and got readied himself to attack. He addressed vaanara veeraas and Lakshmana Vibhishanas too; he pronounced: 'Shatru sena! Now I am ready to display my true image of 'baana varsha', and 'shastra nipunata' of shula-shakti-rushti-tomaras and have arrived all of you for Yama loka yatra. Lakshmana! Do recall as to how a made you and Rama got fainted by naagaastra, even as I had made a veera samhara of the title holder so called maha vaanara champions! Yet again both you and Rama were fainted off and Hanuman had to fetch herbal medicines to revive. Now, get ready for yama loka darshana'! Then Lakshmana replied: 'Nishaachara! Indeed you might have succeeded by your maaya yuddha in the past but your tricks should not surely be trusted once again as you seem to be in your own make believe hallicination right now as the 'taskaraacharita maana vidhaana'or of the evil way that robbers and bandits follow. Now pull up your courage to face to face battle as now I am in the 'vana varsha maarga' right now. Yet the non stop forceful rains of arrows as released by Indrajit were like of fully poisoned cobras and hissed at the time hitting Lakshmana's body Parts were wounded. Then Indrajit shouted at Lakshmana: 'Sumitra kumara! These arrows are samples such as could destrroy several groups of kites, owls and other various birds. But Kshatraadhama-parama durbuddhi Rama and anaarya Rama bhakta you are surely killed by me today. You would be able to see for your self as to how Rama would be killed by me'. As Indrajit bragged on and on, Lalshana replied: ' Cruel and evil minded Rakshasa! Put a stop to your blabberings and indiscreet chatters. Do it if you could and prove it in action as you seem to love your self praises.' So saying, Lashmana cracked five arrows in a sequel by drawing them right up to his ears and released them as the Rakshasa's chest was hurt grievously as the latter was stumbled and tottered. Indrajit after a while sought to give it back and a 'maha sangrama' was initiated. Both were nodoubt, veera paraakramis, bala sampannaas, vikrama shaalis, parama durjaya tejasvis. Just as nava grahas were released and pralaya kaala was intiated, and like Indra and Vritrasura were hitting each other, both Lakshmana and Indrajit were facing each other like two ferocious 'simha dwandva'. tatah śaram dāśarathih samdhāyāmitrakarśanah, sasarja rākṣasendrāya kruddhaḥ sarpa iva śvasan/ tasya jyātalanirghoṣam sa śrutvā rāvaṇātmajaḥ, vivarṇavadano bhūtvā lakşmanam samudaikşata/ tam vişannamukham drştvā rākşasam rāvanātmajam, saumitrim yuddhasamsaktam pratyuvāca vibhīsanah/Then Dasharatha Nandana Lakshmana hissing like a a 'maha sarpa' fixed numberless arrows an his mightr dhanush and released on Indrajit. As the 'dhanus thankaara dhwani' of Lakshmana was truly reverberating, Indrajit's face was rather looking lost and stared at the face of Lakshmana. Then Vibhishana alerted Lakshmana and addressed him: nimittāny anupaśyāmi yāny asmin rāvaṇātmaje, tvara tena mahābāho bhagna eṣa na samśayaḥ/ tatah samdhāya saumitrih śarān agniśikhopamān, mumoca niśitāms tasmai sarvān iva vișolbaṇān/ śakrāśanisamasparśair lakşmanenāhatah śaraih, muhūrtam abhavan mūdhah sarvasamkşubhitendriyah/ 'Maha baaho Lakshmana! Right now Indrajit's face cut appears rather stale and with lesser enthusiasm and this should be the opportune time to finish him off. Then Sumitrakumara like a 'visha dhara sarpa' smashed a Maha Vihvala Baana'. That arrow was like a 'vajra ghaata' hurt Indrajit and fell down swooned for a while but recovered soon enough. upalabhya muhūrtena samjñām pratyāgatendriyah, dadarśāvasthitam vīram vīro daśarathātmajam/ so 'bhicakrāma saumitrim roṣāt samraktalocanah, abravīc cainam āsādya punaḥ sa

parusam vacah/ kim na smarasi tad yuddhe prathame matparākramam, nibaddhas tvam saha bhrātrā yadā yudhi vicestase/ As Indrajit stood up firm again, he addressed Lakshmana: 'Sumitra Kumara! You are seeking to display your parakrama now, but what happened when both you and Rama were tied together with senselessness for days and nights! Now are you planning a permanent residence in yamaloka!' So asserting the Rakshasa released seven potent arrows and hurt Lakshmana and simultaneously attacked on Hanumn nearby. Then Lakshmana smiled and sait 'this is nothing'. Then Lakshmana addresed Indrajit: 'Nishaachara! You are not attacking on the 'rana bhumi' like a shura veera. Your baana praharas are rather weak and listless. These are mild and casual. Having stated thus, Lakshmana released fierce 'baana parampara' when Indrajit's kayacha gave way as though the sparkling nakshatra mandali fell down to earth as the Rakshas's blood from his chest dripped down. In turn, the Rakshasa released thousand arrows like a gushing stream and Lakshmana too was hurt with wounds. Then followed both the Veeras continued reciting astra mantras and releasing mutual ups and downs for very long time yet never tired as both were vying together for victory. vyapetadoṣam asyantau laghucitram ca suṣṭhu ca, ubhau tu tumulam ghoram cakratur nararākṣasau/ tayoḥ pṛthakpṛthag bhīmah śuśruve talanisvanah, sughorayor nistanator gagane meghayor iva/ te gātrayor nipatitā rukmapuṅkhāh śarā yudhi, asrgdigdhā vinispetur viviśur dharaṇītalam/The manushya- rakshasa duo were mutually attacking with dexterity, long standing experience and valour with faultless precision and tirelessness. As they release the arrows, each time there were ear piercing dhwani-pratidhwanis as the shrota chakshsha vaanara-rakshasaas were getting flustered and unnerved. As both the ranottama veeraas were attacking each other each time, the white and blue combine of the clouds on the high sky were looking wavery. As the golden coloured arrow flashes of mutual 'baana pravaahhas' were often compared to be resulting in 'rakta pravaahaas'. sa babhūva rane ghoras tayor bānamayaś cayah, agnibhyām iva dīptābhyām satre kuśamayaś cayah/ Thus was the bhayankara yuddha as the mutual baana prayaahaas were resulting in jwaalaas of garhapathya aahananeeyaadi panchaaginis.

[Vishleshana on Panchaagnis:

The Panchagnis are Garhyapatya Agni for cooking in homes-Aavahaniya to invoke Surya Deva-Dakshinagni or Atmosphric Agni in the form of Lightnings or that which is invoked in Dakshina disha, Saabya and Avaastya for Vedic Purposes; Agnis various Synonyms include Anala, Bhuriteja, Chitra bhanu, Havya vahana, Hutaashana, Jaateveda, Jwala, Parthiva, Paavaka, Plavanga, Rudra garva, Hiranya krita, Shikhee, Vaishwanara, Vibhavasu and so on; Sapta Jihvaas or tongues of Agni are stated to be Hiranya, Kanaka, Rakta, Arakta, Suprabha, Bahurupa, Sattee; another version is Vishwa murti, Sphalini, Dhhumavarna, Manojava, Lohitasya, Karaalasya and Kaali; the Agni Swarupas for performing offerings are as follows viz. for Nitya Karma the type of Agni is called Prabha-Pushpa homa / Bahurupa-Anna and Kheera homa / Krishna Agni- Ikshu homa/ Paraaga-Padm homa/ Suvarna or Lohita-Bilwa homa /Shweta-Tila homa/ Dhumni-Kaashtha or wooden pieces of various trees / Karaalika-Pitru homa/Lohitasya and Deva homa /Manojava; (Narada-Markandeya-Bhavishya Puranas)

Katha Upanishad while detailing the Five Fires emphasises the deeds of virtue, need for control of body organs and senses to seek the identity of nner Consciousness and the Supreme. *Ritam pibantau sukrutasya lokeguhaam pravishtau parame paraadhye, Chaayaa tapau brahmavido vadanti panchaagnayo ye chatrinaachiketaah*/ (Both the Self and the Supreme are stated to be encased in the secret cavity of one's own heart as the two shades of illumination: one who enjoys of good 'Karma' or the fruits of acts of virtue and another the Supreme himself! Those seekers worship the **Panchaagnis or Five Fires** viz. Garhapatya, Aahavaneeya, Dakshinaagni, Sabhya and Aavasatya representing Heaven, Cloud, Earth, Man and Woman, as also perform the Naachiketa Sacrifice thrice; they also enjoy the resultant fruits of

deeds. These two kinds of entities who do or do not do so are well defined: those who drink the juice of Truth as flown from 'Sukruta' or works of virtue and the others who do not; these are the 'chhatriah yaanti' or those distinguished under the regal symbols of Umbrellas! Now, the Supreme is encased in the heart's cavity as also as Omnipresent all over the length and breadh of the Universe; that is 'Parame paraardhe' or the Uniqueness Beyond!)]

Further stanzas continued:

tayoḥ kṛtavraṇau dehau śuśubhāte mahātmanoḥ, sapuṣpāv iva niṣpatrau vane śālmalikumśukau/ cakratus tumulam ghoram samnipātam muhur muhuḥ, indrajil lakṣmaṇaś caiva parasparajayaiṣiṇau/ lakṣmaṇo rāvaṇim yuddhe rāvaṇiś cāpi lakṣmaṇam, anyonyam tāv abhighnantau na śramam pratyapadyatām/ Thus both Indrajit and Lakshmana veeras were attacking -reattacking continously yet tirelessly with 'kshata-vikshita shareeraas' were resembling a palaasha vriksha with fallen leaves but full of blisterlike red flower bodies mutually. They both were engaged with hit-rehit and hit again and again bhayankara maha yuddhha yet never showing any sign of being tired yet with the de cisiveness of one-upmanship. atha samarapariśramam nihantum; samaramukheṣv ajitasya lakṣmaṇasya, priyahitam upapādayan mahaujāḥ; samaram upetya vibhīṣaṇo 'vatasthe/ As Indrajit-Lakshmana battle of mutual determination was still inconclusive, Vibhishana appeared in front of the maha yoddhas and stood firm.

Sarga Eighty Nine

<u>Vibhishana boosted Vaanara Veeras morale listing the Rakshasas smashed up already and inspired them to fight further as Lakshmana-Indrajit battle followed while the latter's chariot etc was shattered</u>

Yudhyamānau tu tau dṛstvā pṛasaktau nararāksasau, śūrah sa rāvanabhrātā tasthau saṃgrāmamūrdhani/ tato visphārayām āsa mahad dhanur avasthitaḥ, utsasarja ca tīkṣṇāgrān rākṣaseṣu mahāśarān/ te śarāḥ śikhisamkāśā nipatantaḥ samāhitāḥ, rākṣasān dārayām āsur vajrā iva mahāgirīn/ vibhīṣaṇasyānucarās te 'pi śūlāsipattasaiḥ, ciccheduḥ samare vīrān rākṣasān rākṣasottamāḥ/ rākṣasais taiḥ parivṛtaḥ sa tadā tu vibhīsanah, babhau madhve prahrstānām kalabhānām iva dvipah/ tatah samcodavāno vai harīn rakşoranapriyān, uvāca vacanam kāle kālajño rakşasām varah/ eko 'yam rākşasendrasya parāyanam iva sthitah, etac chesam balam tasya kim tisthata harīśvarāh/ asmin vinihate pāpe rāksase ranamūrdhani, rāvanam varjavitvā tu sesam asva balam hatam/ prahasto nihato vīro nikumbhas ca mahābalah, kumbhakarnaś ca kumbhaś ca dhūmrāksaś ca niśācarah/ akampanah supārśvaś ca cakramālī ca rāksasah, kampanah sattvavantaś ca devāntakanarāntakau/ etān nihatyātibalān bahūn rāksasasattamān, bāhubhyām sāgaram tīrtvā langhyatām gospadam laghu/ etāvad iha sesam vo jetavyam iha vānarāh, hatāḥ sarve samāgamya rākṣasā baladarpitāḥ/ ayuktam nidhanam kartum putrasya janitur mama, ghṛṇām apāsya rāmārthe nihanyām bhrātur ātmajam/ hantukāmasya me bāṣpam cakśuś caiva nirudhyate, tad evaişa mahābāhur lakşmaṇaḥ śamayişyati, vānarā ghnantum sambhūya bhṛtyān asya samīpagān/ iti tenātivaśasā rāksasenābhicoditāh, vānarendrā jahrsire lāngalāni ca vivvadhuh/ tatas te kapiśārdūlāḥ kṣveḍantaś ca muhur muhuḥ, mumucur vividhān nādān meghān dṛṣṭveva barhiṇaḥ/ jāmbavān api taih sarvaih svayūthair abhisamyrtah, aśmabhis tādayām āsa nakhair dantaiś ca rāksasān/ nighnantam rkṣādhipatim rākṣasās te mahābalāh, parivavrur bhayam tyaktvā tam anekavidhāvudhāh. śaraih paraśubhis tīksnaih pattasair yastitomaraih, jāmbavantam mṛdhe jaghnur nighnantam rāksasīm camūm/ sa samprahāras tumulah samjajñe kapirākṣasām, devāsurāṇām kruddhānām yathā bhīmo mahāsvanah/ hanūmān api samkruddhaḥ sālam utpātya parvatāt, rakṣasām kadanam cakre samāsādya sahasraśaḥ/ sa dattvā tumulam yuddham pitrvyasyendrajid yudhi, lakşmanam paravīraghnam punar evābhyadhāvata/ tau prayuddhau tadā vīrau mṛdhe lakṣmaṇarākṣasau, śaraughān abhivarṣantau jaghnatus tau parasparam/ abhīksnam antardadhatuh śarajālair mahābalau, candrādityāv ivosnānte yathā meghais tarasvinau/ na hy ādānam na samdhānam dhanuso vā parigrahah, na vipramokso bāṇānām na vikarşo na vigrahaḥ/ na muṣṭipratisamdhānam na lakṣyapratipādanam, adṛśyata tayos tatra vudhyatoh pānilāghavāt/ cāpavegapramuktaiś ca bānajālaih samantatah, antarikse 'bhisamchanne na

rūpāṇi cakāśire, tamasā pihitam sarvam āsīd bhīmataram mahat/ na tadānīm vavau vāyur na jajvāla ca pāvakaḥ, svastyas tu lokebhya iti jajalpaś ca maharṣayaḥ, sampetuś cātra samprāptā gandharvāḥ saha cāraṇaiḥ/ atha rākṣasasimhasya kṛṣṇān kanakabhūṣaṇān, śaraiś caturbhiḥ saumitrir vivyādha caturo hayān/ tato 'pareṇa bhallena sūtasya vicariṣyataḥ, lāghavād rāghavaḥ śrīmāñ śiraḥ kāyād apāharat/ nihatam sārathim dṛṣṭvā samare rāvaṇātmajaḥ, prajahau samaroddharṣam viṣaṇṇaḥ sa babhūva ha/ viṣaṇṇavadanam dṛṣṭvā rākṣasam hariyūthapāḥ, tataḥ paramasamhṛṣṭo lakṣmaṇam cābhyapūjayan/ tataḥ pramāthī śarabho rabhaso gandhamādanaḥ, amṛṣyamāṇāś catvāraś cakrur vegam harīśvarāḥ/ te cāsya hayamukhyeṣu tūrṇam utpatya vānarāḥ, caturṣu sumahāvīryā nipetur bhīmavikramāḥ/ teṣām adhiṣṭhitānām tair vānaraiḥ parvatopamaiḥ, mukhebhyo rudhiram vyaktam hayānām samavartata/ te nihatya hayāms tasya pramathya ca mahāratham, punar utpatya vegena tasthur lakṣmaṇapārśvataḥ/ sa hatāśvād avaplutya rathān mathitasāratheḥ, śaravarṣeṇa saumitrim abhyadhāvata rāvaṇiḥ/ tato mahendrapratimamh sa lakṣmaṇaḥ; padātinam tam niśitaiḥ śarottamaiḥ, sṛjantam ādau niśitāñ śarottamān; bhṛśam tadā bāṇagaṇair nyavārayat/

As Indrajit and Lakshmanas were engaged in an never ending warfare like two mad and enraged elephant kings, Vibhishana with his massive dhanush appeared on the scene and initiated arrow rains on the rakshasa opponents. Vibhishana's four followers too entered the attack. Then he addressed vanara veeraas and asserted: 'You may leave Indrajit for me and do concentrate on the rakshasa opponents. You are aware that gigantic rakshasaas like Prahasta, Nikumbha, Kumbhakarna, Kumbha Nishachara, Dhumraaksa were all killed. Jambumali, Mahamaali, Teekshna vega, Ashaniprabha, Suptajhna, Yaginakopa, Vajradamshtra, Samhlaadi, Vikara, Arighna, Tapana, Manda, Praghasa, Prajangha, Jangha, Agniketu, Rashmiketu, Vidhujjihva, Dvijihva, Suryashatru, Akampanba, Supaarshva, Nishachara Chakramaali, Kampana and the maha rakshasa veeraas Devantaka and Narantaka were all killed by vaanara yoddhas lik you. Now rather insignificant rakshasaas are here and there and therefore you may quickly pull them down too to dust. Now, Ravana Putra is here but worry not, as I am his father's brother and for the sake of Ramachandra I am prepared to perform 'tilanjali' for the nephew. My attempt to kill the nephew needs to suppress my tears, and Vera Lakshmana would take care of that duraachari any way. Vaanara Veeras, now my appeal to you would me to straighten your tails and devastate the remnant rakshasaas too to make a clean slate as it were. Then the vaanara bhalluka soldiers got readied with boulders and nakha dantas started attacking the already demoralised rakshasas who too however taken to astra shastraayudhas especially the pattishas, parighas, dandaas and tomaras. So far Hanuman was hitherto carrying Lakshmana on his shoulders but now having got him down, joined the Vanara sena resorted to rakshasa samhara with rage and vengence. In course of time, Indrajit by his chariot confronted Lakshmana as both resumed electrifed 'baana varsha' mutually. tau prayuddhau tadā vīrau mṛdhe lakşmanarākşasau, śaraughān abhivarşantau jaghnatus tau parasparam/ abhīkṣnam antardadhatuh śarajālair mahābalau, candrādityāv ivoṣṇānte yathā meghais tarasvinau/ na hy ādānam na samdhānam dhanuşo vā parigrahaḥ, na vipramokṣo bāṇānāṁ na vikarṣo na vigrahaḥ/ na muṣṭipratisaṁdhānaṁ na laksyapratipādanam, adrśyata tayos tatra yudhyatoh pānilāghayāt/ Lakshmana and Indrajit had then speeded up hitting at each other and both were getting hit on their body parts bruising them mutually. Both were getting severe with velocity as though a fisherman swould spread fast his net wide to catch the prized fish, and like a monsoon time Surya Chandras are covered by black clouds. Their rapid movements of both the mighty hands and their tight grips of pulling up arrows from their bows, fixing them into the grooves by their mighty hands and fingers, holding them in their grips, drawing the arrows right up to to their ears, divisioning the arrows for release, aiming them at the targets with precision and accuracy, and the speed and might in releasing them in rapid flows are of scientific art of outstanding ability and courage which are neither imagined, let alone even visible. cāpavegapramuktaiś ca bānajālaih samantataḥ, antarikṣe 'bhisamchanne na rūpāṇi cakāśire, tamasā pihitam sarvam āsīd bhīmataram mahat/ na tadānīm vavau vāyur na jajvāla ca pāvakah, svastyas tu lokebhya iti jajalpaś ca maharsayah, sampetus cātra samprāptā gandharvāh saha cāranaih/ atha rāksasasimhasya kṛsnān kanakabhūsanān, śaraiś caturbhiḥ saumitrir vivyādha caturo hayān/ As the baana varsha would get released with speed and acceleration the 'lakshaya vedhana' or the penetration on to the target would get totally invisible and

imperceptible. At that time, the sky was filled up up with the 'baanaa praavaahaas' and frightening darkness was noticed all over. That was also the Sunset time and 'maamsa bhashi bhayankara jantu akrodanaas' added to the mystification when 'vaayu chalana and agni prajjvalana' appeared to have been disabled. That was the time when Lakshmana released four piercing arrows which instantly hit and shattered the horses of Indrajit's chariot. tato 'parena bhallena sūtasva vicarisvatah, lāghavād rāghavah śrīmāñ śiraḥ kāyād apāharat/ nihatam sārathim dṛṣṭvā samare rāvaṇātmajaḥ, prajahau samaroddharṣam viṣaṇṇaḥ sa babhūva ha/ viṣaṇṇavadanam dṛṣṭvā rākṣasam hariyūthapāḥ, tataḥ paramasamhṛṣṭo laksmanam cābhyapūjayan/Then Lakshmana quickly released one more well winged and piercing 'vajra samaana baana' which hit the charioteer's head. Then Indrajit got disillusioned and his face was darkened sans that massive enthusiasm and gustow that he displayed that far. All the same, Mandodari Kumara Indrajit kept the horses controlled and pitched his arrows, as the onlookers were highly appreciative of his steadfastness. Yet Indrajit's determination was merely a passive show while Vaanara Veeraas had openly praised Lakshmana's grit. tatah pramāthī śarabho rabhaso gandhamādanah, amṛṣyamāṇāś catvāraś cakrur vegam harīśvarāḥ/ te cāsya hayamukhyeṣu tūrṇam utpatya vānarāh,catursu sumahāvīrvā nipetur bhīmavikramāh/Then four vaanara veeras viz. Pramaathi, Sharabha, Rabhasa and Gandhamaadana jumped up on the horses while the Parrvataakaara Vaanaras crushed the horses as those were crashed, destroyed the chariot to pieces and returned to Lakshmana. sa hatāśvād avaplutya rathān mathitasāratheh, śaravarsena saumitrim abhyadhāvata rāvanih/ tato mahendrapratimamah sa laksmanah; padātinam tam nisitaih sarottamaih, srjantam ādau nisitāñ śarottamān; bhṛśam tadā bāṇagaṇair nyavārayat/ Meanwhile, Lakshmana Kumara of the caliber of Indra Deva walked near Indrajit who was utterly disillusioned, with neither sarathi nor the horses, was badly hurt by Lakshmana's 'baana prahaaraas'.

Sarga Ninety

The sequel of Lakshmana -Indrajit maha samgrama concluded with the domination of Lakshamana as the entirety of the celestial world felt relieved with the vindication of dharma and nyaaya

sa hatāśvo mahātejā bhūmau tiṣṭhan niśācaraḥ, indrajit paramakruddhaḥ samprajajvāla tejasā/ tau dhanvinau jighāmsantāv anyonyam işubhir bhṛśam, vijayenābhinişkrāntau vane gajavṛṣāv iva/ nibarhayantaś cānyonyam te rāksasavanaukasah, bhartāram na jahur yuddhe sampatantas tatas tatah/ sa laksmanam samuddiśya param lāghavam āsthitah, vavarsa śaravarsāni varsānīva puramdarah/ muktam indrajitā tat tu śaravarsam arimdamah, avāravad asambhrānto laksmanah sudurāsadam/ abhedyakacanam matvā laksmanam rāvanātmajah, lalāte laksmanam bānaih supunkhais tribhir indrajit, avidhyat paramakruddhah śīghram astram pradarśayan/ taih prsatkair lalāṭasthaih śuśubhe raghunandanah, raṇāgre samaraślāghī triśṛṅga iva parvatah/ sa tathāpy ardito bāṇai rākṣasena mahāmṛdhe, tam āśu prativivyādha lakṣmaṇaḥ panabhiḥ śaraiḥ/ lakṣmaṇendrajitau vīrau mahābalasarāsanau, anyonyam jaghnatur bānair visikhair bhīmavikramau/ tau parasparam abhyetya sarvagātresu dhanvinau, ghorair vivvadhatur bānaih krtabhāvāv ubhau jave/ tasmai drdhataram kruddho hatāśvāya vibhīṣaṇaḥ, vajrasparśasamān pañca sasarjorasi mārgaṇān/ te tasya kāyam nirbhidya rukmapunkhā nimittagāh, babhūvur lohitādigdhā raktā iva mahoragāh/ sa pitrvyasya samkruddha indrajic charam ādade, uttamam raksasām madhye yamadattam mahābalah/ tam samīksya mahātejā mahesum tena samhitam, laksmano 'py ādade bānam anyam bhīmaparākramah/ kuberena svayam svapne yad dattam amitātmanā, durjayam durvişahyam ca sendrair api surāsuraih/ tābhyām tau dhanuşi śresthe samhitau sāyakottamau, vikrsyamāṇau vīrābhyām bhṛśam jajvalatuḥ śriyā/ tau bhāsayantāv ākāśam dhanurbhyām viśikhau cyutau, mukhena mukham āhatya samnipetatur ojasā/ tau mahāgrahasamkāśāv anyonyam samnipatya ca, samgrāme śatadhā yātau medinyām vinipetatuḥ/ śarau pratihatau dṛstvā tāv ubhau ranamūrdhani, vrīdito jātarosau ca laksmanendrajitāv ubhau/ susamrabdhas tu saumitrir astram vārunam ādade, raudram mahedrajid yuddhe vyasrjad yudhi visthitah/ tayoh sutumulam yuddham sambabhūvādbhutopamam, gaganasthāni bhūtāni lakṣmaṇam paryavārayan/ bhairayābhirute bhīme vuddhe vānararāksasām, bhūtair bahubhir ākāśam vismitair āvrtam babhaw

rsayah pitaro devā gandharvā garunoragāh, śatakratum puraskrtya raraksur laksmanam rane/ athānyam mārganaśrestham samdadhe rāvanānujah, hutāśanasamasparśam rāvanātmajadārunam/ supatram anuvṛttāngam suparvāṇam susamsthitam, suvarṇavikṛtam vīraḥ śarīrāntakaram śaram/ durāvāram durvişaham rāksasānām bhayāvaham, āśīvişavişaprakhyam devasamghaih samarcitam/ yena śakro mahātejā dānavān ajavat prabhuh, purā devāsure vuddhe vīrvavān harivāhanah/ tad aindram astram saumitrih samyugeşv aparājitam, śaraśreṣṭham dhanuḥ śreṣṭhe naraśreṣṭho 'bhisamdadhe/ samdhāyāmitradalanam vicakarṣa śarāsanam, sajyam āyamya durdharśaḥ kālo lokakṣaye yathā/ samdhāva dhanusi śresthe vikarsann idam abravīt, lakṣmīvāml lakṣmaṇo vākyam arthasādhakam ātmanah/dharmātmā satyasamdhaś ca rāmo dāśarathir yadi, pauruse cāpratidvandvas tad enam jahi rāvaṇim/ ity uktvā bāṇam ākarṇam vikṛṣya tam ajihmagam,, lakṣmaṇaḥ samare vīraḥ sasarjendrajitam prati, aindrāstrena samāyujya laksmanah paravīrahā/ tac chirah sasiras trānam śrīmaj jyalitakundalam, pramathyendrajitah kāyāt papāta dharanītale/ tad rāksasatanūjasya chinnaskandham śiro mahat, tapanīyanibham bhūmau dadrśe rudhirokṣitam/ hatas tu nipapātāśu dharaṇyām rāvaṇātmajaḥ, kavacī saśirastrāno vidhvastah saśarāsanah/ cukruśus te tatah sarve vānarāh savibhīṣaṇāh, hṛṣyanto nihate tasmin devā vrtravadhe vathā/ athāntarikse bhūtānām rsīnām ca mahātmanām, abhijajñe ca samnādo gandharvāpsarasām api/patitam samabhijnāya rākṣasī sā mahācamūh, vadhyamānā diśo bheje haribhir jitakāśibhih/ vanarair vadhyamānās te śastrāny utsrjya rākṣasāḥ, lankām abhimukhāḥ sarve nastasamjñāh pradhāvitāh/ dudruvur bahudhā bhītā rāksasāh śataśo diśah, tyaktvā praharanān sarve pattasāsiparaśvadhān/ke cil lankām paritrastāh pravistā vānarārditāh, samudre patitāh ke cit ke cit parvatam āśritāḥ/ hatam indrajitam dṛṣṭvā śayānam samarakṣitau, rākṣasānām sahasreṣu na kaś cit pratyadrśyata/ yathāstam gata āditye nāvatisthanti raśmayaḥ, tathā tasmin nipatite rākṣasās te gatā diśah/ śāntarakśmir ivādityo nirvāṇa iva pāvakaḥ, sa babhūva mahātejā vyapāsta gatajīvitaḥ/ praśāntapīdā bahulo vinastāriḥ praharṣavān, babhūva lokaḥ patite rākṣasendrasute tadā/ harṣaṁ ca śakro bhagavān saha sarvaih surarsabhaih, jagāma nihate tasmin rāksase pāpakarmani/ śuddhā āpo nabhaś caiva jahrsur daityadānavāh, ājagmuh patite tasmin sarvalokabhayāvahe/ ūcuś ca sahitāh sarve devagandharvadānavāh, vijvarāh śāntakalusā brāhmanā vicarantv iti/ tato 'bhyanandan samhṛstāh samare hariyūthapāḥ, tam apratibalam dṛṣṭvā hatam nairṛtapumgavam vibhīṣaṇo hanūmāms ca jāmbavām's carkṣayūthapaḥ, vijayenābhinandantas tuṣṭuvu's cāpi lakṣmaṇam/ kṣveḍanta's ca nadanta's ca garjantaś ca plavamgamāḥ, labdhalakṣā raghusutam parivāryopatasthire/ lāṅgūlāni pravidhyantaḥ sphotayantaś ca vānarāḥ, lakṣmaṇo jayatīty evam vākyam vyaśrāvayams tadā/ anyonyam ca samāśliṣya kapayo hrstamānasāh, cakrur uccāvacagunā rāghavāśrayajāh kathāh/ tad asukaram athābhivīksya hrstāh; priyasuhrdo yudhi laksmanasya karma, paramam upalabhan manahpraharsam; vinihatam indraripum niśamya devāh/

Neither with the chariot, nor the chrioteer and not even the horses, Indrajit was fuming furiously and got readied to attack Lakshmana with 'vijaya kaanksha'. They attacked again as both kept on inflicting mutual injuries. Then Indrajit addressed Rakashaas stating that he would like to withdraw from the battle as there was darkness already and would not be able to see properly but would most certainly attack again, yet rakshasa veeraas should continue the battle all the same. Having thus excused himself returned to Lankapuri. But having gone back, the fraud Indrajit returned back soon enough having alighted in a fresh chariot, charioteer and set of robust horses. On noticing the return of Indrajit, Lakshmana-Vibhishana and the vaanara shreshthas were amazed and shocked at the return of the trickster Indrajit soon enough. Then even while entering the battle field, the Rakshasa commenced his 'baana varsha' killing vaanara sena as they all sought 'sharan' from Lakshmana. Raghu kula nandana Lakshmana then initiated his baana maha varsha fearlessly and decisiveness. He then started three each of arrows each time and lashed numberless rakshasas down to dust never to face again as either were dead or ran away. The same kind of three each of arrow lashings was accorded to Ravana Kumara too who was wounded gruesomely. But, having soon recovered, Lakshmana lashed at the head of the charioteer of Indrajit blown up yet the horses were so trained that they were least disturbed. The insistent Lakshmana kept on teasing the horses with further arrows and on learning of Lakshmana's intention, Indrajit released ten 'vajra tulya' arrows at Lakshmana which hit on Lakshmana's chest kavacha little realising that it was abhedya or

indestructible. On recalling this, Indrajit released three 'mantrika baanaas' on Lakshmana's forehead yet like having more or less having escaped their major impact, yet realising that the Rakshasa was seeking to keep tormenting first on his kavacha and now on his forehead, had atonce set his dhanush in perfect position and angle, let off five arrows which impaired the Rakshasaas 'mukha mandala'. Thus both Lakshmana and Indrajit kept on releasing their respective ; baana parampara' hurting and damaging each other's body parts, yet with their mental resolve and fortitude mutually. tau parasparam abhyetya sarvagātresu dhanvinau, ghorair vivyadhatur bāṇaiḥ kṛtabhāvāv ubhau jaye/ tasmai dṛḍhataram kruddho hatāśvāya vibhīsanah, vairasparśasamān pañca sasariorasi mārganān/ te tasya kāvam nirbhidya rukmapunkhā nimittagāh, babhūvur lohitādigdhā raktā iva mahoragāh/ Thus as both Lakshmana and Indrajit were battling like two 'maha palaasha vrikshas' causing mutual 'anga bhangas' with 'bhayankara baana prahaaraas', the Ravana Kumara released three 'baana prahaaraas' on Vibhishana standing beside Lakshmana and one each to select Vaanara Yuthapatis beside Lakshmana. The enraged Vibhishana lifted his 'maha gada' and killed the four horses still alive despite the erstwhile charioteer's death my Lakshmana. As both the horses too were smashed down, the immobile Indrajit jumped off and made a daring attack on Vibhishana with his shaki aayudha but smartly enough the latter who was carrying his dhanush baanaas and released five arrows in a row in Indrajit's broad chest as flows of blood emerged. sa pitṛvyasya samkruddha indrajic charam ādade, uttamam rakṣasām madhye yamadattam mahābalaḥ/ tam samīksya mahātejā mahesum tena samhitam, laksmano 'py ādade bānam anyam bhīmaparākramah/ kuberena svayam svapne yad dattam amitātmanā, durjayam durvisahyam ca sendrair api surāsuraih/ tābhyām tau dhanuşi śresthe samhitau sāyakottamau, vikrsyamāṇau vīrābhyām bhṛśam jajvalatuḥ śriyā/ On realising that his uncle got annoyed and got worked up in his 'shakti prahara', Indrajit picked up like Yama Raja and pulled out an irretrievable arrow while imultaneosly Lakshmana too fixed up another arrow which Digdevata Kubera himself blessed in a swapna to him as that specific baana was given by Kubera to Indra at a time of devaasura yuddhha. Thus both Indrajit and Lakshmana chose their respective arrows of proven distinction as were released emitted agni jwaalas .tau bhāsayantāv ākāśam dhanurbhyām viśikhau cyutau, mukhena mukham āhatya samnipetatur ojasā/ tau mahāgrahasamkāśāv anyonyam samnipatya ca, samgrāme śatadhā yātau medinyām vinipetatuh/ śarau pratihatau dṛṣṭvā tāv ubhau ranamūrdhani, vrīdito jātarosau ca laksmanendrajitāv ubhau/ susamrabdhas tu saumitrir astram vārunam ādade, raudram mahedrajid vuddhe vvasrjad vudhi visthitah/ As both the Veearas of Lakshmana and Indrajit shot off their respective 'mahaastras' there were flames of packed energy as the sky was extraordinarily luminous and their mutual interaction emitted repeated blasts as if two planets of the 'navagraha shaktis' were at logger heads thus releasing heavy smoke with all around suffocations on the battle ground. Eventually Sumitranandana Lakshmana was infuriated and fixed up 'Vaarunastra' and simultaneously Indrajit the 'Roudrastra' as both got pacified each other. tayoh sutumulam yuddham sambabhūvādbhutopamam, gaganasthāni bhūtāni lakṣmaṇam paryavārayan/ bhairavābhirute bhīme yuddhe vānararākṣasām, bhūtair bahubhir ākāśam vismitair āvṛtam babhau ṛṣayaḥ pitaro devā gandharvā garuņoragāḥ, śatakratum puraskrtya rarakṣur lakṣmaṇam raṇe/ athānyam mārgaṇaśreṣṭham samdadhe rāvanānujah, hutāśanasamasparśam rāvanātmajadārunam/ Such was the 'romaanchaka yuddha' while all the sky borne celestial beings appeared to have got collected around Lakshmana for protection. At the same time, there were bhairava garjanas of both Vaanaras and Rakshasaas as the sky borne 'praanis' were staring amazed with awe and delght. Rishi- Pitra-Deva-Gandharva-Garuda-Naaga --and Indra had all assembled to protect and Lakshmana at the yuddha bhumi with their respective energeies. There after, Lakshmana fixed another arrow on the dhanush which had the energy of 'Ravanakumara videerna'. supatram anuvrttāngam suparvāņam susamsthitam, suvarņavikrtam vīrah śarīrāntakaram śaram/ durāvāram durvişaham rākṣasānām bhayāvaham, āśīviṣaviṣaprakhyam devasamghaiḥ samarcitam/ yena śakro mahātejā dānavān ajayat prabhuḥ, purā devāsure yuddhe vīryavān harivāhanaḥ/ tad aindram astram saumitriḥ samyugeṣv aparājitam, śaraśreṣṭham dhanuḥ śresthe naraśrestho 'bhisamdadhe/ samdhāyāmitradalanam vicakarsa śarāsanam, sajyam āyamya durdharśah kālo lokaksaye yathā/ saṃdhāya dhanusi śresthe vikarsann idam abravīt, laksmīvāml lakṣmaṇo vākyam arthasādhakam ātmanaḥ/ dharmātmā satyasamdhaś ca rāmo dāśarathir yadi, pauruṣe cāpratidvandvas tad enam jahi rāvanim/ That outstanding 'mantra suvarna baana' was well rounded and

excellently shaped, sturdy and potent with the capbility of mincing body parts of the opponent, like the 'vishadhara naaga raja' which is always venerated by Deva Samuhaas. That historic 'maha baana' was once in the remote past utilised by the shakti shaali-maha tejasvi Mahendra to uproot the 'vishala daanava veera maha samuha'. That historic arrow was named 'Aindraastra' which never before failed to yield the desired fruit of success of everlasting glory. While fixing the Aindrastra, Lakshmana decleared: 'If only in the Trilokas there is a Maha Purusha of dharmatma, satya pratigjna, purushardha samaana drishtidhara, Shri Rama's stature, then I assert that this 'Aindraastra' should pierce to death of this Ravana Putra. ity uktvā bānam ākarṇam vikṛṣya tam ajihmagam,, lakṣmaṇaḥ samare vīraḥ sasarjendrajitam prati, aindrāstreņa samāyujya laksmaņah paravīrahā/ tac chirah sasiras trāņam śrīmaj jvalitakundalam, pramathyendrajitah kāyāt papāta dharanītale/ tad rāksasatanūjasya chinnaskandham śiro mahat, tapanīyanibham bhūmau dadrśe rudhiroksitam/As Lakshmanaa took the oath on the 'rana bhumi', Lakshmana straightened the 'Aindravaastra' and having stretched it right upto his right ear and released. No sooner that the astra was released than Indrajit's 'shirastraana sahita deeptamaana mastaka viccheda shabda' was resounded again and again. Thus Rakshasa Putra Indrajit's shoulders were detached from his swollen head and crumbled with a reverberating sound, even as his blood flows were making fairly audible sounds. hatas tu nipapātāśu dharanyām rāvaņātmajah, kavacī saśirastrāņo vidhvastah saśarāsanaḥ/ cukruśus te tataḥ sarve vānarāḥ savibhīṣaṇāḥ, hṛṣyanto nihate tasmin devā vṛtravadhe vathā/ athāntarikse bhūtānām ṛsīnām ca mahātmanām, abhijajñe ca samnādo gandharvāpsarasām api// Thus fell the massive body of Indrajit with his kavacha, shirastraana, dhanurbaana sahita. Like Vritrasura vadha was concluded by Devendra with his Vajraadha made of Maharshi Dadheeti's backbone, Lakshmana had indeed succeeded Indrajit Vadha by the Aindraastra. Instantaneously, the harshanaadaas of Deva-Maharshi-Gandharva- Apsaraas were resounded repetitivily. On learning of Indrajit's death, Rakshasaas ran helter skelter leaving behind their astra shastras, pattisha-khadgaadis. Vaanara sena too was ovejoyed with high pitched vadya dundhibi -nritya mahollaasaas. harsam ca śakro bhagavān saha sarvaih surarsabhaih, jagāma nihate tasmin rāksase pāpakarmani/ śuddhā āpo nabhaś caiva jahrsur daityadānavāh, ājagmuh patite tasmin sarvalokabhayāvahe/ ūcuś ca sahitāh sarve devagandharvadānavāḥ, vijvarāḥ śāntakaluṣā brāhmaṇā vicarantv iti/ As this 'paapakarmaacharana rakshasa' got destroyed, Bhagavan Indra and Deva Maharshis heaved a sigh of relief and were visibly happy. In fact the fright of trilokaas was rid off as the cruel rakshasa was laid to eternity as if a sand storm was concluded for ever. tato 'bhyanandan samhrṣṭāḥ samare hariyūthapāḥ, tam apratibalam dṛṣṭvā hatam nairrtapumgavam/ vibhīsano hanūmāmś ca jāmbavāmś carksayūthapah, vijayenābhinandantas tustuvuś cāpi laksmanam/ ksvedantaś ca nadantaś ca garjantaś ca plavamgamāh, labdhalaksā raghusutam parivāryopatasthire/ As in the maha samgrama the much hated Indrajit was smashed to death, Vaanara yudhapatis got lined up to congratulate Sumitra Kumara personally. Vibhishana, Hanuman and Bhalluka Raja Jambavan embrased Lakshmana for his historic victory. *lāṅgūlāni pravidhyantaḥ* sphotayantaś ca vānarāh, lakṣmaṇo jayatīty evam vākyam vyaśrāvayams tadā/ anyonyam ca samāśliṣya kapayo hṛṣṭamānasāḥ, cakrur uccāvacaguṇā rāghavāśrayajāḥ kathāḥ/ tad asukaram athābhivīkṣya hrstāh; privasuhrdo yudhi laksmanasya karma, paramam upalabhan manahpraharsam; vinihatam indraripum niśamya devāh/ Bhalluka Vaanara samuhas had blissfully extended and waved off their tails with unprecedented bliss around Lakshmana Kumara shouting jaya jaya pratidhwanis for the historic hero . The real vaanara chitta was unusually relieved of the loka kantaka rakshasas kumara and started off group singings and dances of Shri Rama Charita with blissful hearts and minds, especially in special reference as to how Indrajit was shattered.

Sarga Ninety One

<u>Lakshmana accompanied by Vibhishana, Sugriva and Vaanara Bhalluka Veeraas reached Rama who was</u> immensely impressed and praised Lakshmana with intimate affection and recoup from his injuries soon.

Rudhiraklinnagātras tu lakṣmaṇaḥ śubhalakṣaṇaḥ, babhūva hṛṣṭas tam hatvā śakrajetāram āhave/ tataḥ sa jāmbavantam ca hanūmantam ca vīryavān, samnivartya mahātejās tāms ca sarvān vanaukasaḥ/

ājagāma tatah śīghram yatra sugrīvarāghavau, vibhīsanam avastabhya hanūmantam ca laksmanah/ tato rāmam abhikramya saumitrir abhivādya ca, tasthau bhrātṛsamīpasthaḥ śakrasyendrānujo yathā, ācacakṣe tadā vīro ghoram indrajito vadham/ rāvaṇas tu śiraś chinnam lakṣmaṇena mahātmanā, nyavedayata rāmāya tadā hṛṣṭo vibhīṣaṇaḥ/ upaveśya tam utsange pariṣvajyāvapīḍitam, mūrdhni cainam upāghrāya bhūvah samsprsva ca tvaran, uvāca laksmanam vākvam āsvāsva purusarsabhah/ krtam paramakalyāṇam karma duṣkarakāriṇā, niramitrah kṛto 'smy adya niryāsyati hi rāvaṇaḥ balavyūhena mahatā śrutvā putram nipātitam/ tam putravadhasamtaptam niryāntam rākṣasādhipam, balenāvṛtya mahatā nihanisyāmi durjayam/ tvayā laksmana nāthena sītā ca prthivī ca me., na dusprāpā hate ty adya śakrajetari cāhave/ sa tam bhrātaram āśvāsya pārisvajya ca rāghavah, rāmah susenam muditah samābhāsyedam abravīt/ saśalyo 'yam mahāprājñah saumitrir mitravatsalah, yathā bhavati susvasthas tathā tvam samupācara, viśalyah kriyatām ksipram saumitrih savibhīsanah/ kṛsa vānarasainyānām śūrānām drumayodhinām, ye cānye 'tra ca yudhyantah saśalyā vraninas tathā, te 'pi sarve prayatnena kriyantām sukhinas tvayā/ evam uktaḥ sa rāmeṇa mahātmā hariyūthapah, lakṣmaṇāya dadau nastaḥ susenah paramausadham/ sa tasva gandham āghrāva viśalvah samapadvata, tadā nirvedanaś caiva samrūdhavrana eva ca/ vibhīsana mukhānām ca suhrdām rāghavājñavā, sarvavānaramukhvānām cikitsām sa tadākarot/ tataḥ prakṛtim āpanno hṛtaśalyo gatavyathaḥ, saumitrir muditas tatra kṣaṇena vigatajvaraḥ/ tathaiva rāmaḥ plavagādhipas tadā; vibhīṣaṇaś carkṣapatiś ca jāmbavān, avekṣya saumitrim arogam utthitam; mudā sasainyah suciram jaharsire/apūjayat karma sa laksmanasya; suduskaram dāśarathir mahātmā, hṛstā babhūvur yudhi yūthapendrā; niśamya tam śakrajitam nipātitam/

As Lakshmana became a victorious hero in demolishing Indrajit, he along with Hanuman, Jambavan, Vibhishana and vaanarasheshthas ran to Shri Rama Sugrivaas. Facing his elder brother, Lakshmana touched Rama's feet as Indra would have done to Vamana Murti and stood with bent head. Then Vibhishana was overjoyed and declared with excitement: Shri Rama! Our hero Lakshmana destroyed Indrajit! Rama replied: Well done Lakshmana! Hearty congratulations as you had indeed preformed a very complicated task successfully. This is a very happy augury and surely indeed our victory is quite nearby. Then as Shri Rama complemented him thus, Lakshmana became bashful as Rama forced to be seated on his lap and embraced him with affectionate admiration. As Rama had drawn him rather forcefully, Lakshmana's body wounds were no doubt painful but that pain was indeed overcome with blissful encouragement. Shri Rama then addressed Lakshmana: kṛtaṁ paramakalyāṇaṁ karma duskarakārinā, niramitrah krto 'smy adya niryāsyati hi rāvanah balavyūhena mahatā śrutvā putram nipātitam/ tam putravadhasamtaptam niryāntam rāksasādhipam, balenāvrtya mahatā nihanisyāmi durjayam/ Veera! You had indeed executed an impossible and praiseworthy feat successfully and truly trust that Ravana too would have been dead by this act of glory. As that duratma Indrajit was killed, Ravana's right hand should have been mutilated as he had always and literally been dependent on his support always. In this 'maha karya' the role of Viishana and Hanuman would appeat to be substantial. Now the rattled up Ravana should necessarily eager to forward all his sena and arrive at the battle. As being unable to bear the crisis of putra vadha when he would arrive here, it is my turn to devastate all of them. tvayā laksmaņa nāthena sītā ca pṛthivī ca me., na dusprāpā hate tv adya śakrajetari cāhave/ sa tam bhrātaram āśvāsya pārişvajya ca rāghavaḥ, rāmaḥ suṣeṇam muditaḥ samābhāṣyedam abravīt/ saśalyo 'yam mahāprājñah saumitrir mitravatsalah, yathā bhavati susvasthas tathā tvam samupācara, viśalyah kriyatām ksipram saumitrih savibhīsanah/kṛsa vānarasainyānām śūrānām drumayodhinām, ye cānye 'tra ca yudhyantah saśalyā vraninas tathā, te 'pi sarve prayatnena kriyantām sukhinas tvayā/ Laksmana! Indrajit had flustered even Indra and you have excelled Indrajit. As a rakshaka and sahayaka like you are with me, surely I should not only accomplish my darling Devi Sita anyway but the 'bhumandala maha saamrajya' too!' Thus asserting to Lakshmana, Shri Rama called for Sushena the physician of Vaanaras and asked to remove the ramains of arrows as also seek to apply herbal medicines on Lakshmana's body parts. Accordingly Sushana treated Lakshmana to heal as soon a possible. In fact Vishishana and other vaanaraas too assisted for the quickest healing of Lakshmana's body. Then Shri Rama, Vibhishana, Vanara Raja Sugriva, Riksha Raja Jambavaan, Veera Hanuman, Angadaadi Vaanara Maha Veeraas gave a standing ovation and continued applause to Veera Sumitrakumara.

Sarga Ninety Two

Totally forlorn with Indrajit's end by Lakshmana, Ravanasura desired to kill Devi Sita the root cause of the yuddha, but Mantri Suparshva appealed not to kill Sita but instead kill Rama Lakshmanas instead.

Tataḥ paulastya sacivāḥ śrutvā cendrajitaṁ hatam, ācacakṣur abhijñāya daśagrīvāya savyathāh/ yuddhe hato mahārāja laksmanena tavātmajah, vibhīsanasahāyena misatām no mahādvute/ śūrah śūrena samgamya samyugesv aparājitah, laksnanena hatah śūrah putras te vibudhendrajit/ sa tam pratibhayam śrutvā vadham putrasya dāruṇam, ghoram indrajitaḥ samkhye kaśmalam prāviśan mahat/ upalabhya cirāt samjñām rājā rāksasapumgavah, putraśokārdito dīno vilalāpākulendriyah/ hā rāksasacamūmukhya mama vatsa mahāratha, jitvendram katham adya tvam laksmanasya vaśam gatah/ nanu tvam isubhih kruddho bhindyāh kālāntakāv api, mandarasyāpi śṛṅgāṇi kim punar lakṣmaṇam raṇe/ adya vaivasvato rājā bhūyo bahumato mama, yenādya tvam mahābāho samyuktaḥ kāladharmaṇā/ eṣa panthāḥ suvodhānām sarvāmaraganesv api, vah krte hanvate bhartuh sa pumān svargam rcchati/ adva devaganāh sarve lokapālās tatharşayaḥ, hatam indrajitam dṛṣṭvā sukham svapsyanti nirbhayāh/ adya lokās trayah kṛtsnāḥ pṛthivī ca sakānanā, ekenendrajitā hīnā śūṇyeva pratibhāti me/ adya nairṛtakanyāyāṁ śroṣyāmy antahpure rayam, karenusamghasya yathā ninādam girigahyare/ yauvarājyam ca lankām ca raksāmsi ca paramtapa, mātaram mām ca bhāryām ca kva gato 'si vihāya nah/ mama nāma tvayā vīra gatasya yamasādanam, pretakāryāṇi kāryāṇi viparīte hi vartase/ sa tvam jīvati sugrīve rāghave ca salaksmaņe, mama śalyam anuddhrtya kva gato 'si vihāya naḥ evamādivilāpārtam rāvaṇam rākṣasādhipam, āviveśa mahān kopah putravyasanasambhavah/ ghoram prakṛtyā rūpam tat tasya krodhāgnimūrchitam, babhūva rūpam rudrasya kruddhasyeva durāsadam/ tasya kruddhasya netrābhyām prāpatann asrabindavah, dīptābhyām iva dīpābhyām sārcisah snehabindavah/ dantān vidasatas tasva śrūyate dasanasvanah, vantrasyāvestyamānasya mahato dānavair iva/ kālāgnir iva samkruddho yām yām diśam avaiksata, tasyām tasyām bhayatrastā rāksasāh samnililyire/ tam antakam iva kruddham carācaracikhādisum, vīksamānam diśah sarvā rākṣasā nopacakramuḥ/ tataḥ paramasamkruddho rāvaṇo rākṣasādhipaḥ, abravīd raksasām madhve samstambhavisur āhave/ mayā varsasahasrāni caritvā duścaram tapah, tesu tesv avakāśesu svavambhūh paritositah/ tasvaiva tapaso vyustyā prasādāc ca svavambhuvah, nāsurebhyo na devebhyo bhayam mama kadā cana/ kavacam brahmadattam me yad ādityasamaprabham, devāsuravimardesu na bhinnam vajraśaktibhih/ tena mām adya samyuktam rathastham iha samyuge, pratīyāt ko'dya mām ājau sāksād api puramdarah/ yat tadābhiprasannena sasaram kārmukam maha, devāsuravimardesu mama dattam svayambhuvā/ adya tūryaśatair bhīmam dhanur utthāpyatām mahat, rāmalaksmanayor eva vadhāya paramāhave/ sa putravadhasamtaptah śūrah krodhavaśam gatah, samīkṣya rāvaṇo buddhyā sītām hantum vyavasyata/ pratyavekṣya tu tāmrākṣaḥ sughoro ghoradarśanān, dīno dīnasvarān sarvāms tān uvāca niśācarān/ māyayā mama vatsena vañcanārtham vanaukasām, kim cid eva hatam tatra sīteyam iti darśitam/ tad idam satyam evāham karişye priyam ātmanah, vaidehīm nāśavisyāmi ksatrabandhum anuvratām, itv evam uktvā sacivān khadgam āśu parāmrśat/ uddhrtva gunasampannam vimalāmbaravarcasam, nispapāta sa vegena sabhāvāh sacivair vrtah/ rāvanah putraśokena bhṛśam ākulacetanaḥ, samkruddhaḥ khaḍgam ādāya sahasā yatra maithilī/ vrajantam rāksasam preksya simhanādam pracukruśuh, ūcuś cānyonyam āślisya samkruddham preksya rāksasāh/ adyainam tāv ubhau dṛṣtvā bhrātarau pṛavyathisyatah, lokapālā hi catvārah kruddhenānena nirjitāh, bahavah śatravaś cānye samyugesv abhipātitāh/ tesām samjalpamānānām aśokavanikām gatām, abhidudrāva vaidehīm rāvaņah krodhamūrchitah/ vāryamāṇah susamkruddhah suhrdbhir hitabuddhibhih, abhyadhāvata samkruddhah khe graho rohinīm iva/ maithilī rakṣyamāṇā tu rākṣasībhir aninditā, dadarśa rākṣasam kruddham nistrimśavaradhārinam/ tam niśāmya sanistrimśam vyathitā janakātmajā, nivāryamāṇam bahuśaḥ suhrdbhir anivartinam yathāyam mām abhikruddhaḥ samabhidravati svayam, vadhisyati sanāthām mām anāthām iva durmatih/ bahuśaś codayām āsa bhartāram mām anuvratām, bhāryā bhava ramasyeti pratyākhyāto 'bhavan mayā/ so 'yam mām anupasthānād vyaktam nairāśyam āgataḥ, krodhamohasamāvisto nihantum mām samudyataḥ/ atha vā tau narayyāghrau bhrātarau rāmalaksmanau, mannimittam anāryena samare 'dya nipātitau, aho dhin

mannimitto 'yam vināśo rājaputrayoḥ/ hanūmato hi tadvākyam na kṛtam kṣudrayā mayā, yady aham tasya pṛṣṭhena tadāyāsam aninditā, nādyaivam anuśoceyam bhartur aṅkagatā satī/ manye tu hṛdayam tasyāḥ kausalyāyāḥ phaliṣyati, ekaputrā yadā putram vinaṣṭam śroṣyate yudhi/ sā hi janma ca bālyam ca yauvanam ca mahātmanaḥ, dharmakāryāṇi rūpam ca rudatī samsramiṣyati/ nirāśā nihate putre dattvā śrāddham acetanā, agnim ārokṣyate nūnam apo vāpi pravekṣyati/ dhig astu kubjām asatīm mantharām pāpaniścayām, yannimittam idam duḥkham kausalyā pratipatsyate/ ity evam maithilīm dṛṣṭvā vilapantīm tapasvinīm, rohiṇīm iva candreṇa vinā grahavaśam gatām/ supārśvo nāma medhāvī rāvaṇam rākṣaseśvaram, nivāryamāṇam sacivair idam vacanam abravīt/ katham nāma daśagrīva sākṣād vaiśravaṇānuja, hantum icchasi vaidehīm krodhād dharmam apāsya hi/ veda vidyāvrata snātaḥ svadharmanirataḥ sadā, striyāḥ kasmād vadham vīra manyase rākṣaseśvara/ maithilīm rūpasampannām pratyavekṣasva pārthiva, tvam eva tu sahāsmābhī rāghave krodham utsṛja/ abhyutthānam tvam adyaiva kṛṣṇapakṣacaturdaśīm, kṛtvā niryāhy amāvāsyām vijayāya balair vṛtaḥ/ śūro dhīmān rathī khaḍgī rathapravaram āsthitaḥ, hatvā dāśarathim rāmam bhavān prāpsyati maithilīm/ sa tad durātmā suhṛdā niveditam; vacaḥ sudharmyam pratigṛhya rāvaṇaḥ, gṛham jagāmātha tataś ca vīryavān; punaḥ sabhām ca prayayau suhṛdvṛtaḥ/

After verifying the details of Lakshmana's action of killing Indrajit, the mantri mandali had conveyed the sad news to King Ravana stating that this was done with the help of Vibhishana. Recalling the unique distinction of Meghanaada as having subdued Mahendra himself, Indrajit was subjected to Lakshmana's arrows and reached 'uttama lokas'. Instantly Ravana lost his consciousness and on recivery was affected by 'putra shoka vyakulata' and broke down crying: 'Ha putra! Ha rakshasa sena mahabali karnadhara! You had conquered Mahendra himself but how you were caught by Lakshmana! Dear son, once you were angry you were able to frighten away even Kaala or Antaka too, could devastate even mandaraachala shikhirras too, and what an insignificant issue to demolish Lakshmana! Maha baaho! To day, Surya Putra Yama Raja appeared to have asserted and had to abide by 'kaala dharma'! This indeed the assertive regulation by with samasta deva mandali too should follow as when some one from aming them attain veera swarga! Today, the deva-maharshi-lokapaalakas must be heaving a sigh of relief with this eventality! For me, today the trilokas including oceans, mountains and mahaaranyaas too must be missing the presence of Indrajit. Like a Gaja Raja would be killed, entire elephants get baffled and so would be the state of loud cryings of the 'antahpura kanyas' with this irrplaceable disaster of the loss of Ingdrajit. Shatru santaapa daaya keertimaan putra! How indeed you have left off your yuvaraajatva, Lankapuri, samasta rakshasaas, your mothers, wives ans me too! Veera! The normal pattern of a putra to perform the pitru pretakarya, but now this is quite contrary to the law of Nature and only the paraloka vaasis would have to perform my own pretakarya as my dear son is misssing himself! Ha!Rama Lakshmana Sugrivaas are still alive, and still suffering the piercing pricks of my heart, how indeed you had left me as a singleton'. Thus Ravana kept on crying and eventually assumed 'krodhaavatha'. ghoram prakṛtyā rūpam tat tasya krodhāgnimūrchitam, babhūva rūpam rudrasya kruddhasyeva durāsadam/ tasya kruddhasya netrābhyām prāpatann asrabindayah, dīptābhyām iya dīpābhyām sārcisah snehabindayah/ dantān vidaśatas tasva śrūvate daśanasvanah, vantrasvāvestvamānasva mahato dānavair iva/By his very nature, Ravana was a 'krodha swarupa' and now the flames of his anger got redoubled by the anguish of purar shoka; thus the greeshma ritu Surya would understandably get worse. In his remote thoughts, Ravana even felt that the very root cause of this tragedy was Devi Sita and that she might as well be finished off. As his face and mind is truly filled up the retaliatory retribution, the nishachara Ravana's eyes got wet the hot tears like agni jwaalas emrging from oil tend to shed its drops. Then Ravana was grinding his teeth as that sound was being heard too as though at the 'deva daanava samudra madhana kaala madhana yantra swarupa mandaraachala dhwani'! kālāgnir iva samkruddho yām yām diśam avaikṣata, tasyām tasyām bhayatrastā rākṣasāḥ samnililyire/ tam antakam iva kruddham carācaracikhādisum, vīksamānam diśah sarvā rāksasā nopacakramuh/ tatah paramasamkruddho rāvano rāksasādhipah, abravīd raksasām madhye samstambhayisur āhave/ mayā varsasahasrāni caritvā duścaram tapaḥ, teşu teşv avakāśeşu svayambhūḥ paritoşitaḥ/Ravana was then like kaalaagni like anger looking 'dasha dishas' as the rakshasaas nar by were suppressing their fear by tightening their lips with

eyes down. Then Ramana having decided to get ready for a mighty battle addressed the 'rakshasa veeras': tasyaiva tapaso vyustyā prasādāc ca svayambhuvaḥ, nāsurebhyo na devebhyo bhayam mama kadā cana/ kavacam brahmadattam me yad ādityasamaprabham, devāsuravimardesu na bhinnam vajrasaktibhih/ tena mām adya samyuktam rathastham iha samyuge, pratīyāt ko 'dya mām ājau sākṣād api puramdarah/ Nishaacharo! I had performed deep tapsyas for thousands of years and pleased Swayambh Brahma and thus due to His blessings the totality of rakshasaas for several generations had been enjoying their lives with contentment and comfort. I was also blessed by Brahma with a 'kavacha' with is resplendent like Surya Himself. As and when I attacked Deva Daanavaasuraas even vajraprahaaras by Indra were ineffective. Therefore if and when I am seated on my chariot and stand in the battle grounds, even Indra would not be able to face me. yat tadābhiprasannena saśaram kārmukam maha, devāsuravimardesu mama dattam svayambhuvā/ adya tūryaśatair bhīmam dhanur utthāpyatām mahat, rāmalaksmanayor eva vadhāya paramāhave/ sa putravadhasamtaptah śūrah krodhavaśam gatah, samīksya rāvano buddhyā sītām hantum vyavasyata/ pratyavekṣya tu tāmrākṣah sughoro ghoradarśanān, dīno dīnasvarān sarvāms tān uvāca niśācarān/ During that very time Brahma also gifted me a 'dhanush' and with tha very dhanush, once I were to be seated with 'mangala vaadhyaas', I had decided to attack Rama Lashmanas. Ravana further asserted: māyayā mama vatsena vañcanārtham vanaukasām, kim cid eva hatam tatra sīteyam iti darśitam/ tad idam satyam evāham karişye priyam ātmanaḥ, vaidehīm nāśayişyāmi ksatrabandhum anuvratām, ity evam uktvā sacivān khadgam āśu parāmṛśat/ uddhṛṭya gunasampannam vimalāmbaravarcasam, nispapāta sa vegena sabhāyāh sacivair vṛtah/ My dear son Indrajit confounded Vaanaras like even Hanuman showed off Maya Sita and killed her then and there on his chariot. Now I should actually show the real Sita and stab her. Having declared thus Ravana picked up his khadga and ran out of desperation and affilction of Indrajit's death towards the place where Devi Sita was. That was the time when Sati saadhvi was surrounded by the krura raakshasis. As Ravana was approaching her with his khadga and felt that this durbuddhi rakshasa was actually coming for me and kill this 'anaadha'. Devi Sita then introspected: 'Indeed I would surely abide my dear husband's love and affection, come what may. Rayana kept on pressurising me innumerable times to agree mee to his wife. Once again he must be arriving here for that pressurisation.so 'yam mām anupasthānād vyaktam nairāśyam āgatah, krodhamohasamāvisto nihantum mām samudvatah/ atha vā tau naravvāghrau bhrātarau rāmalaksmanau, mannimittam anāryena samare 'dya nipātitau, aho dhin mannimitto 'yam vināso rājaputrayoḥ/ hanūmato hi tadvākyam na krtam kṣudrayā mayā, yady aham tasya pṛṣṭhena tadāyāsam aninditā, nādyaivam anuśoceyam bhartur ankagatā satī/ Once he would get back my rebuff thus, he could be reaching here to kill me with his sword. Or else, this neechaatma might have ruthlessly sacrificed the Pususha Simhas of Rama Lakshmanas and arriving in that joy. I had just a while ago heard a bhayankara garjana resounding the sky. Aho! If I am the root cause of the end of Rajakumaras, then my very existence should be futile. Or Ravana himself might be arriving here to kill me too after his glory of their end. I should have agreed to the proposal of Hanuman to fly off from Lanka by clinging to his back to kishkindha then itself! manye tu hrdayam tasyāḥ kausalyāyāḥ phalisyati, ekaputrā yadā putram vinastam śrosyate yudhi/ sā hi janma ca bālyam ca yauyanam ca mahātmanah, dharmakāryāni rūpam ca rudatī samsramişyati/ nirāśā nihate putre dattvā śrāddham acetanā, agnim ārokṣyate nūnam apo vāpi pravekṣyati/ dhig astu kubjām asatīm mantharām pāpaniścayām, yannimittam idam duḥkham kausalyā pratipatsyate/ My mother in law Devi Kousalya blesssed with Shri Rama as her single and singular son were to know of such a tragedy would burst out with in her heart. While crying away she would describe the details of mahatma Rama's 'janma-balyaavastha- yuvaavastha- dharma karma rupa smarana!' As her son were to be lost in this tragic manner would be known to her, she should be truly bewildered and having duly performed his shraaddha in pavitra Sarryu would herself jump off fot atmavisarjana! Aho dhhikkaara to Mandhara, Devi Kausalya hah been tormented by the putrashoka! ity evam maithilīm dṛṣṭvā vilapantīm tapasvinīm, rohinīm iva candrena vinā grahavasam gatām/ supārsvo nāma medhāvī rāvaņam rāksaseśvaram, nivāryamānam sacivair idam vacanam abravīt/ As Devi Sita was spinning the varn of the tragic consequences of an imaginative and distressful afermath fall out consequences of Rama Lakkhmana's end that Ravana might be approaching her to inform and brag about with, she kept on crying away like Devi Rohini at the time of Chandra grahana time. Then as tapsvini Devi Sita was crying

away, Rayana's Minister buddhiman Supaarshya advised King Rayana. katham nāma daśagrīva sāksād vaiśravanānuja, hantum icchasi vaidehīm krodhād dharmam apāsya hi/ veda vidyāvrata snātah svadharmanirataḥ sadā, striyāḥ kasmād vadhaṁ vīra manyase rākṣaseśvara/ maithilīṁ rūpasaṁpannāṁ pratyavekṣasva pārthiva, tvam eva tu sahāsmābhī rāghave krodham utsrja/ 'Maha Raja Dashagreeva! You are sakshaat Kubera's brother now resorting to kill Devi Sita. Bur how is it that due to putra shoka, you are totally ignoring the fundamental principles of dharma by giving a tilaajali to dharma totally. Veera Rakshasa Raja! Do you not recall that having duly observed brahmacharya in a gurukula, you have had the fame of vedaadhyayana and had sworn to observe the dharmika principles. Now Streevatha is on the top of the list of 'pancha maha paatakas'. Maithili Devi Sita, a pativrata, ought not to be the target for avenging you 'putra shoka; but yes, most certainly on the yuddha bhumi in attacking the veera Rama Lakshmanas!abhyutthānam tvam adyaiva kṛṣṇapakṣacaturdaśīm, kṛṭvā niryāhy amāvāṣyām vijayāya balair vṛtah/ śūro dhīmān rathī khadgī rathapravaram āsthitah, hatvā dāśarathim rāmam bhavān prāpsyati maithilīm/ sa tad durātmā suhrdā niveditam; vacah sudharmyam pratigrhya rāvaṇah, grham jagāmātha tataś ca vīryavān; punaḥ sabhām ca prayayau suhrdvrtaḥ/ Further, to day is krishna paksha chaturthi; if you could arrange for the major attack against Rama Lakshmanas, kindly do so tomorrow the 'amaavashya'. Maha Raja! you are a celebrated 'shura veera buddhiman maha rathi'; be seated on the 'maha radha' and 'brahma prasaadita khadga' in your mighty hands with alertness and self confidence for 'Dasharatha nandana vadhas and Devi Sita prapti' thereafter!' As Mantri Suparshva convinced King Ravana, he retuned back to his 'Mahal' and further to the Raja Sabha.

Sarga Ninty Three

Having been demoralised with Indrajit's loss, Ravana directed the combined senas of the Mantris as led by them, but Rama utilised gandharvaastra which created a spell devastating lakhs of Rakshasas

Sa praviśya sabhām rājā dīnaḥ paramaduḥkhitaḥ, niṣasādāsane mukhye simhaḥ kruddha iva śvasan/ abravīc ca tadā sarvān balamukhyān mahābalaḥ, rāvaṇaḥ prāñjalīn vākyam putravyasanakarśitaḥ/ sarve bhavantah sarvena hastyaśvena samāvrtāh, nirvāntu rathasamghaiś ca pādātaiś copaśobhitāh/ ekam rāmam pariksipya samare hantum arhatha, prahrstā śaravarsena prāvrtkāla ivāmbudāh/ atha vāham śarair tīkṣṇair bhinnagātram mahāraṇe, bhavadbhiḥ śvo nihantāsmi rāmam lokasya paśyataḥ/ ity evam rāksasendrasya vākyam ādāya rāksasāh, niryayus te rathaih sīghram nāgānīkais ca samvrtāh/ sa samgrāmo mahābhīmah sūryasyodayanam prati, raksasām vānarānām ca tumulah samapadyata/ te gadābhir vicitrābhih prāsaih khadgaih paraśvadhaih, anyonyam samare jaghnus tadā vānararāksasāh/ mātamgarathakūlasya vājimatsyā dhvajadrumāh, śarīrasamghātavahāh prasasruh śonitāpagāh/ dhvajavarmarathān aśvān nānāpraharaṇāni ca, āplutyāplutya samare vānarendrā babhañjire/ keśān karnalalāṭāmś ca nāsikāś ca plavamgamāh, rakṣasām daśanais tīkṣṇair nakhaiś cāpi vyakartayan/ ekaikam rākṣasam samkhye śatam vānarapumgavāḥ, abhyadhāvanta phalinam vṛkṣam śakunayo yathā/ tathā gadābhir gurvībhih prāsaih khadgaih paraśvadhaih, nirjaghnur vānarān ghorān rāksasāh parvatopamāh/ rāksasair vadhvamānānām vānarānām mahācamūh, saranvam saranam vātā rāmam daśarathātmajam/ tato rāmo mahātejā dhanur ādāya vīryavān, praviśya rākṣasam sainyam śaravarṣam vavarsa ha/ pravistam tu tadā rāmam meghāh sūrvam ivāmbare, nābhijagmur mahāghoram nirdahantam śarāgninā/ krtāny eva sughorāni rāmena rajanīcarāh, rane rāmasya dadrśuh karmāny asukarāni ca/ cālayantam mahānīkam vidhamantam mahārathān, dadrsus te na vai rāmam vātam vanagatam yathā/ chinnam bhinnam sarair dagdham prabhagnam sastrapīditam, balam rāmeņa dadrsur na ramam śīghrakāriṇam/ praharantam śarīreṣu na te paśyanti rāghavam, indriyārtheṣu tiṣṭhantam bhūtātmānam iva prajāḥ/ eṣa hanti gajānīkam eṣa hanti mahārathān, eṣa hanti śarais tīkṣṇaiḥ padātīn vājibhiḥ saha/ iti te rākṣasāḥ sarve rāmasya sadṛśān raṇe, anyonyakupitā jaghnuḥ sādṛśyād rāghavasya te/ na te dadṛśire rāmam dahantam arivāhinīm, mohitāh paramāstrena gāndharvena mahātmanā/ te tu rāmasahasrāni rane paśyanti rāksasāh, punah paśyanti kākutstham ekam eva mahāhave/ bhramantīm kāñcanīm kotim kārmukasya mahātmanaḥ, alātacakrapratimām dadṛśus te na rāghavam/ śarīranābhi sattvārcih śarīram nemikārmukam, įvāghosatalanirghosam tejobuddhigunaprabham/ divvāstragunaparvantam nighnantam

yudhi rākṣasān, dadṛśū rāmacakram tat kālacakram iva prajāḥ/ anīkam daśasāhasram rathānām vātaramhasām, aṣṭādaśasahasrāṇi kuñjarāṇām tarasvinām/ caturdaśasahasrāṇi sārohāṇām ca vājinām, pūrṇe śatasahasre dve rākṣasānām padātinām/ divasasyāṣṭame bhāge śarair agniśikhopamaiḥ, hatāny ekena rāmeṇa rakṣasām kāmarūpiṇām/ te hatāśvā hatarathāḥ śrāntā vimathitadhvajāḥ, abhipetuḥ purīm lankām hataśeṣā niśācarāḥ/ hatair gajapadāty aśvais tad babhūva raṇājiram, ākrīḍabhūmī rudrasya kruddhasyeva pinākinaḥ/ tato devāḥ sagandharvāḥ siddhāś ca paramarṣayaḥ, sādhu sādhv iti rāmasya tat karma samapūjayan/ abravīc ca tadā rāmaḥ sugrīvam pratyanantaram, etad astrabalam divyam mama vā tryambakasya vā/ nihatya tām rākṣasavāhinīm tu; rāmas tadā śakrasamo mahātmā, astreṣu śastreṣu jitaklamaś ca; saṃstūyate devagaṇaiḥ praḥṛṣṭaiḥ/

Ravana having resisted th momentary decision of killing Devi Sita as ignited by the mental torture of Indrajit's assasination by Lakshmana, but for the timely hita bodha by the Minister Suparshva, was truly looking lost in his inner psyche and as seated in the Raja Sabha made an ardent appeal to all in the Sabha with folded hands. Maha Veeras! Do atonce leave off for the battle field with your elephants, horses, chariots and foot soldiers equipped with armoury, kayachas, and dhanurbaanaas and make all out efforts to destroy Rama and his sena. As directed, Nishachara Yoddhas and their respective soldiers moved off with their parighas, pattishas, and shareera naashaka astra shastras while vaararaas too were ready with vriksha parvata shilaas and thus the suryodaya maha samgrama gathered rapid momentum. Despite their blood stream flows by the severe onslaught of Rakshasaas with their parvataakaaraas and their aayudhas, the vaanaraas jumped up and down and devastated rakshasa ratha dhwjas, kavachas, rathas, horses partly with vriksha prahaadaas and mainly by their sharp teeth and long finger nails were hitting the lalaatakesha- hasta- paadaas destroying countless rakshasaas. Since the Rakshasaas having assumed their true aggressivennass, the vaanaraas ran towards Shri Rama for defence. tato rāmo mahātejā dhanur ādāya vīryavān, pravišya rāksasam sainyam šaravarsam vavarsa ha/ pravistam tu tadā rāmam meghāh sūryam ivāmbare, nābhijagmur mahāghoram nirdahantam śarāgninā/krtāny eva sughorāni rāmena rajanīcarāh, rane rāmasya dadrśuh karmāny asukarāni ca/ Then Rama the maha paraakrami initiated his 'baana varsha'. Like the clouds on the sky could never attack the blistering Surya Deva, the baana swarupi Shri Rama released agni varsha on the Nishacharas as the latter were merely gazing forlorn but never be able to interfere with. cālayantam mahānīkam vidhamantam mahārathān, dadrsus te na vai rāmam vātam vanagatam yathā/ chinnam bhinnam śarair dagdham prabhagnam śastrapīḍitam, balam rāmeṇa dadṛśur na ramam śīghrakārinam/ praharantam śarīresu na te paśyanti rāghavam, indriyārthesu tisthantam bhūtātmānam iva prajāh/ esa hanti gajānīkam esa hanti mahārathān, esa hanti śarais tīksnaih padātīn vājibhih saha/ One might be able to see the disaster of falling of the maha vrikshas but at the most feel the fury of the winds but never measure the severity of Ramabaanaas. Those adversary rakshasaas who only realise the damages done by Rama baanaas into shambles, but never see either Rama nor his ferocity. Likewise, the jeevaatmas of the numberless rakshasa veeraas raised to the skies might never be realised but only the ever repeated 'thud' sounds of their parvataakaata shareeraas while falling down. All the rakshas veeras were wondering as to who is Rama who simultaneosly destroyed the elephants, or the horses, or the chariots, or the maharakshas attacking with their astra shastras, or the foot soldiers; often they were even entering mutual controversies. na te dadṛśire rāmam dahantam arivāhinīm, mohitāḥ paramāstrena gāndharvena mahātmanā/ te tu rāmasahasrāni rane paśyanti rāksasāh, punah paśyanti kākutstham ekam eva mahāhave/ bhramantīm kāñcanīm kotim kārmukasya mahātmanah, alātacakrapratimām dadršus te na rāghavam/ As Rama was destryoing several rakashaas, the rest of them were getting furious and furiouser; noticing this Rama activised gandharva naamaka astra as all of them would have only Rama darshana and nothing else. Then the angular kaleidoscopic view of Rama and Rama only was seen by them till the spell of the gandharvastra would be lost! śarīranābhi sattvārciḥ śarīram nemikārmukam, jyāghoṣatalanirghoṣam tejobuddhiguṇaprabham/ divyāstraguṇaparyantam nighnantam yudhi rāksasān, dadṛśū rāmacakram tat kālacakram iva prajāh/ anīkam daśasāhasram rathānām vātaramhasām, astādasasahasrāni kunjarānām tarasvinām/caturdasasahasrāni sārohānām ca vājinām, pūrņe śatasahasre dve rākṣasānām padātinām/Thus the 'yuddha kaala raakshasa samhara' was facilitated for him thus as they fell into the revolving spell on the rakshasas; their shareera naabhi was as the chakra

naabhi, their physical strength was the agni jyaala, Rama baana was 'arre' or the ray of light or of illumination, dhanush as 'nemi sthaana' and dhanush thankaara as the 'taaladhwini'. Thus Rama all by himself within a matter of an hour and half with his 'agni jvaala samana tejasvi baana prahara' could devastate lakhs of rakshasaas, ten thousand chariots, eighteen thousand elephants, fourteen thousand horses and ten lakh foot soldiers of rakshasas by the gandharvaastra prayoga. te hatāśvā hatarathāh śrāntā vimathitadhvajāḥ, abhipetuḥ purīm lankām hataśeṣā niśācarāḥ/ hatair gajapadāty aśvais tad babhūva raṇājiram, ākrīḍabhūmī rudrasya kruddhasyeva pinākinaḥ/As the horses and chariots were burnt off as the dwyajas too, while lakhs of soldiers too, the remnant rakshasaa were somehow bayk to Lankapuri.tato devāh sagandharvāh siddhāś ca paramarsayah, sādhu sādhv iti rāmasya tat karma samapūjayan/ abravīc ca tadā rāmah sugrīvam pratyanantaram, etad astrabalam divyam mama vā tryambakasya vā/ nihatya tām rāksasavāhinīm tu; rāmas tadā śakrasamo mahātmā, astresu śastresu jitaklamaś ca; samstūyate devaganaih prahrstaih/ Then devata-gandhrva-siddha maharshis were elated showering prashamsaas to Shri Rama. Then Sugriva, Vibhishana, Hanuman, Jambavan, Mainda, Dwividaadi vaanara shreshthas acclaimed Rama, as the latter himself was wonder struck whether this shakti was with him or of Bhagavan Shankara! Indeed, Mahatma Shri Rama would never be tired while Deva samudaaya was never tired in complementing Rama too.

Sarga Ninety Four

As many families heros were dead, affected Rakshasa strees cursed Ravana recalling that Brahma varaas excluded manavas of invincibility while Shiva predicted Devi Sita to be born for Rakshasa vinaashana

Tāni nāgasahasrāni sārohānām ca vājinām, rathānām cāgnivarnānām sadhvajānām sahasraśah/ rāksasānām sahasrāni gadāparighayodhinām, kāñcanadhvajacitrānām śūrānām kāmarūpinām/ nihatāni śarais tīksnais taptakāñcanabhūsanaih, rāvanena prayuktāni rāmenāklistakarmanā/ dṛstvā śrutvā ca sambhrāntā hataśesā niśācarāh, rāksasyaś ca samāgamya dīnāś cintāpariplutāh/ vidhavā hataputrāś ca krośantyo hatabāndhavāḥ, rākṣasyaḥ saha samgamya duḥkhārtāḥ paryadevayan/ katham śūrpaṇakhā vrddhā karālā nirnatodarī, asāda vane rāmam kandarpam iva rūpinam/ sukumāram mahāsattvam sarvabhūtahite ratam, tam drstvā lokavadhvā sā hīnarūpā prakāmitā/ katham sarvagunair hīnā guṇavantam mahaujasam, sumukham durmukhī rāmam kāmayām āsa rākṣasī/ janasyāsyālpabhāgyatvāt palinī śvetamūrdhajā, akāryam apahāsyam ca sarvalokavigarhitam/ rāksasānām vināśāya dūsanasya kharasya ca, cakārāpratirūpā sā rāghavasya pradharsanam/ tan nimittam idam vairam rāvanena krtam mahat, vadhāya nītā sā sītā daśagrīvena raksasā/ na ca sītām daśagrīvah prāpnoti janakātmajām, addham balavatā vairam aksayam rāghavena ha/vaidehīm prārthayānam tam virādham preksya rākṣasam, hatam ekena rāmeṇa paryāptam tannidarśanam/ caturdaśasahasrāṇi rakṣasām bhīmakarmaṇām,nihatāni janasthāne śarair agniśikhopamaih/kharaś ca nihatah samkhye dūṣaṇas triśirās tathā, śarair ādityasamkāśaiḥ paryāptam tannidarśanam/hato yojanabāhuś ca kabandho rudhirāsanah, krodhārto vinadan so 'tha parvāptam tannidarsanam/ jaghāna balinam rāmah sahasranayanātmajam, bālinam meghasamkāśam paryāptam tannidarśanam/ rśyamūke vasañ śaile dīno bhagnamanorathah,sugrīvah sthāpito rājye paryāptam tannidarśanam/dhārmaarthasahitam vākyam sarvesām raksasām hitam, yuktam vibhīsanenoktam mohāt tasya na rocate/ vibhīsanavacah kuryād yadi sma dhanadānujah, śmaśānabhūtā duhkhārtā neyam lankā purī bhavet/ kumbhakarnam hatam śrutvā rāghavena mahābalam, priyam cendrajitam putram rāvano nāvabudhyate/ mama putro mama bhrātā mama bhartā raņe hataḥ, ity evam śrūyate śabdo rākṣasānām kule kule/ rathāś cāśvāś ca nāgāś ca hatāḥ śatasahasraśaḥ, rane rāmeṇa śūreṇa rākṣasāś ca padātayaḥ/ rudro vā yadi vā viṣṇur mahendro vā śatakratuḥ, hanti no rāmarūpena yadi vā svayam antakaḥ/ hatapravīrā rāmeṇa nirāśā jīvite vayam, apaśyantyo bhayasyāntam anāthā vilapāmahe/rāmahastād daśagrīvaḥ śūro dattavaro yudhi, idam bhayam mahāghoram utpannam nāvabudhyate/ na devā na ca gandharvā na piśācā na rāksasāh, upasṛstam paritrātum śaktā rāmena samyuge/ utpātāś cāpi drśvante rāvanasya rane rane, kathayisyanti rāmeņa rāvaņasya nibarhaņam/ pitāmahena prītena devadānavarākṣasaiḥ, rāvaṇasyābhayam dattam mānusebhyo na vācitam/ tad idam mānusān manye prāptam nihsamsayam bhayam, jīvitāntakaram

ghoram rakṣasām rāvaṇasya ca/ pīḍyamānās tu balinā varadānena rakṣasā, dīptais tapobhir vibudhāḥ pitāmaham apūjayan/ devatānām hitārthāya mahātmā vai pitāmahaḥ, uvāca devatāḥ sarvā idam tuṣṭo mahad vacaḥ/ adya prabhṛti lokāms trīn sarve dānavarākṣasāḥ, bhayena prāvṛtā nityam vicariṣyanti śāśvatam/ daivatais tu samāgamya sarvaiś cendrapurogamaiḥ, vṛṣadhvajas tripurahā mahādevaḥ prasāditaḥ/ prasannas tu mahādevo devān etad vaco 'bravīt, utpatsyati hitārtham vo nārī rakṣaḥkṣayāvahā/ eṣā devaiḥ prayuktā tu kṣud yathā dānavān purā, bhakṣayiṣyati naḥ sītā rākṣasaghnī sarāvaṇān/ rāvaṇasyāpanītena durvinītasya durmateḥ, ayam niṣṭānako ghoraḥ śokena samabhiplutaḥ/ tam na paśyāmahe loke yo naḥ śaraṇado bhavet, rāghaveṇopasṛṣṭānām kāleneva yugakṣaye/ itīva sarvā rajanīcarastriyaḥ; parasparam samparirabhya bāhubhiḥ, viṣedur ārtātibhayābhipīḍitā; vinedur uccaiś ca tadā sudāruṇam/

As Shri Rama had vitually shattered Rakhasa sena by his gandharvaastra, the families of the dead soldiers lost their husbands, sons, brothers and relatives turned out to be 'anaadhas' and cried out . Some wept in high tones as to why the old woman Surpanakha approached Rama with her amorous proposal to Rama! Her body strengh was weakened, her head hairs were whitened yet still desired Rama to her bed and her arrogant insistence necessitated Lakshmana to spare her life as being a female yet punished by cutting her nise and ears. As she reported to her brother Ravana he initiated Rama's enmity, Khara Dushanaadis were destroyed my Rama, and the vicious circle got activised with Ravana's kidnapping Devi Sita. na ca sītām daśagrīvah prāpnoti janakātmajām, addham balavatā vairam aksayam rāghavena ha/vaidehīm prārthayānam tam virādham prekṣya rākṣasam, hatam ekena rāmeṇa paryāptam tannidarśanam/ caturdaśasahasrāni raksasām bhīmakarmanām,nihatāni janasthāne śarair agniśikhopamaih/ Dashamukkha Rayana could never ever succeed to secure Devi Sita as Rama baanaas are irretrievable and hence this crisis now. How had our King Ravana ignored the janasthaana bhayanaka experience of Rama with his might arrows devastated his opponents. kharaś ca nihatah samkhye dūsanas triśirās tathā, śarair ādityasamkāśaih paryāptam tannidarśanam/hato yojanabāhuś ca kabandho rudhirāśanah, krodhārto vinadan so 'tha paryāptam tannidarsanam/ jaghāna balinam rāmah sahasranayanātmajam, bālinam meghasamkāśam paryāptam tannidarśanam/ rśyamūke vasañ śaile dīno bhagnamanorathah, sugrīvah sthāpito rājve parvāptam tannidar sanam/ Khara Dushana Trishira samhara was indeed a standing proof as was ignored by our King Ravana. Did he not realise that rakta bhoji Kabandha with his yojana wide and length of mighty hands were severed by Rama. After all, the meru parvata samana Indra Kumara Vaali was dismissed to death by just one arrow of Rama. Was that example not adequate to our King but still insistent to keep on prolonging the battle. Sugriva was critically hurt by hiding himself on rishyamuka parvata, but had Rama not made him the maha vaanara sena.dhārmaartha -sahitam vākyam sarvesām raksasām hitam, yuktam vibhīsanenoktam mohāt tasya na rocate/vibhīṣaṇavacaḥ kuryād yadi sma dhanadānujaḥ, śmaśānabhūtā duḥkhārtā neyam lankā purī bhavet/ kumbhakarnam hatam śrutvā rāghavena mahābalam, priyam cendrajitam putram rāvaņo nāvabudhyate/ mama putro mama bhrātā mama bhartā raṇe hataḥ, ity evam śrūyate śabdo rākṣasānām kule kule/

Vibhishana had tried his very best to get rid of Devi Sita Vyaamoha by citing 'dharma yukta vachanas' which were never heeded as today Lankapuri had now turned to be a smashaana bhumi! Maha Bali Kumbhakarna was dead by Rama baanaas. Dusshaha veera Atikaya was smashed down by Lakshmana who also destroyed the outstanding Maayaavi Rakshasa Indrajit too as the dearmost son of the king. How is it that still even now, Ravana continued to be blind folded and still making our husbands, fathers, dear sons and close relatives the yagjna pashus even now in each and every family! 'Ha, my son is dead, my brother is gone, and on the rana bhumi my husband is gone': such were the desperate yellings from the homes of Lanka puri. The citizens of Lanka puri were truly convinced that on the samaraanga, shura veera Shri Rama who had devastated whereever there were rakshasa veeraas on chariots, horses, elephants, foot soldiers, thus proving he might be a Rudra, Bhagavan Vishnu, Shatakrati Indra or swayam Yama Raja. No doubt Dashamukha Ravana too was a famed Rakshasa king as possessive of Brahma Devas blessings aplenty but then turned out to be too arrogant. Thus the Lankapuri citizens getting more and more were getting convinced that there had been several prognostics and foresights Ravana Vinasha

by Shri Rama. pitāmahena prītena devadānavarāksasaih, rāvanasyābhayam dattam mānusebhyo na vācitam/ tad idam mānusān manye prāptam nihsamśayam bhayam, jīvitāntakaram ghoram raksasām rāvaṇasya ca/ pīdyamānās tu balinā varadānena rakṣasā, dīptais tapobhir vibudhāh pitāmaham apūjayan/Some of the citizens of 'dharmika chintana' of Lankapuri recalled that King Ravana who performed deep tapasya to Brahma Deva for several years as the Jagat Pitamaha was delighted and blessed the tapasvi who sought invincibility from deva-danava-rakshasaas but ignored maanavaas Thus it was very evident that Ravana would have to be alert with manushyas. There after, Ravana harassed Devas who in turn appealed and made earnest araadhana to Brahma. devatānām hitārthāya mahātmā vai pitāmahaḥ, uvāca devatāḥ sarvā idam tuṣṭo mahad vacaḥ/ adya prabhṛti lokāms trīn sarve dānavarāksasāh, bhayena prāvrtā nityam vicarisyanti śāśvatam/ daivatais tu samāgamya sarvaiś cendrapurogamaih, vṛṣadhvajas tripurahā mahādevah prasāditah/ prasannas tu mahādevo devān etad vaco 'bravīt, utpatsyati hitārtham vo nārī rakṣaḥkṣayāvahā/ Then Brahma was happy with the devatas and gave the 'mahatvapurna ashvaashana vachana': from now onward danava rakshassas would be free from 'Rayana bhaya'. Then Indaadi Devatas approached Tripura naashaka Vrishabha dhwaja Maha Deva with nirantara tapasya. Maha Shiva was pleased and stated that a 'divya nari aavirbhaya' would happen and the samata raaksha vinaashana would then occur! eṣā devaiḥ prayuktā tu kṣud yathā dānavān purā, bhakṣayiṣyati naḥ sītā rākṣasaghnī sarāvaṇān/ rāvaṇasyāpanītena durvinītasya durmateḥ, ayam nistānako ghorah śokena samabhiplutah/ tam na paśyāmahe loke yo nah śaranado bhavet, rāghavenopasṛstānām kāleneva yugaksaye/ itīva sarvā rajanīcarastriyah; parasparam samparirabhya bāhubhih, vişedur ārtātibhayābhipīditā; vinedur uccaiś ca tadā sudāruņam/ Just as in the purva kalpa kaala, devata's hunger and thirst was assuaged, in the same manner the 'nishaachara naashani' Sita Devi would certainly assuage the hunger and thirst of savava lokaas very soon. Uddanda Ravana with his durbuddhi would thus get all of us Rakshasaas too soon. In this entire universe, we could never ever have the divya darshana of a human like Shri Rama whom alone we could seek 'sharan' from him'. In this manner the enlightened Nishaachara strees especially those who lost their husbands, sons, and relatives were frightened to their core.

Sarga Ninety Five

Noting the 'arta naadaas' of Lanka's fallen Rakshasas by Rama, Ravana himself attacked vaanaras along with senapatis Mahodara, Mahaparshva and Virupaksha

ārtānām rākṣasīnām tu lankāyām vai kule kule, rāvaṇah karuṇam śabdam śuśrāva pariveditam/ sa tu dīrgham viniśvasya muhūrtam dhyānam āsthitaḥ, babhūva paramakruddho rāvaṇo bhīmadarśanaḥ/ samdaśya daśanair ostham krodhasamraktalocanah, rākṣasair api durdarśah kālāgnir iva mūrchitah/ uvāca ca samīpasthān rāksasān rāksaseśvarah, bhavāvvaktakathāms tatra nirdahann iva caksusā/ mahodaram mahāpārśvam virūpākṣam ca rākṣasam, śīghram vadata sainyāni niryāteti mamājñayā/ tasya tadvacanam śrutvā rākṣasās te bhayārditāḥ, codayām āsur avyagrān rākṣasāms tān nṛpājñayā/ te tu sarve tathety uktvā rāksasā ghoradarśanāh, krtasvastyayanāh sarve rāvanābhimukhā yayuh/ pratipūjya yathānyāyam rāvaṇam te mahārathāḥ, tasthuḥ prāñjalayaḥ sarve bhartur vijayakānkṣiṇaḥ/ athovāca prahasyaitān rāvanah krodhamūrchitah, mahodaramahāpārśvau virūpāksam ca rāksasam/ adva bānair dhanurmuktair yugāntādityasamnibhaih, rāghavam laksmanam caiva nesyāmi yamasādhanam/kharasya kumbhakarnasya prahastendrajitos tathā, kariṣyāmi pratīkāram adya śatruvadhād aham/ naivāntarikṣam na diśo na nadyo nāpi sāgaraḥ, prakāśatvam gamiṣyanti madbāṇajaladāvṛtāḥ/ adya vānarayūthānām tāni yūthāni bhāgaśaḥ,dhanuḥsamudrād udbhūtair mathiṣyāmi śarormibhiḥ/ vyākośapadmacakrāṇi padmakesaravarcasām, adva vūthatatākāni gajavat pramathāmy aham/ saśarair adva vadanaih samkhye vānarayūthapāh, mandayisyanti vasudhām sanālair iva paṅkalaih/ adya yuddhapracandānām harīnām drumayodhinām, muktenaikeşuṇā yuddhe bhetsyāmi ca śataṁśatam/ hato bhartā hato bhrātā yāsāṁ ca tanavā hatāh, vadhenādva ripos tāsām karmomy asrapramārjanam/ adva madbānanirbhinnaih

prakīrnair gatacetanaih, karomi vānarair yuddhe yatnāveksyatalām mahīm/adya gomāyavo grdhrā ye ca māmsāśino 'pare, sarvāms tāms tarpayisyāmi śatrumāmsaih śarārditaih/ kalpyatām me rathaśīghram kşipram ānīyatām dhanuḥ, anuprayāntu mām yuddhe ye 'vaśistā niśācarāḥ/ tasya tadvacanam śrutvā mahāpārśvo 'bravīd vacaḥ, balādhyakṣān sthitāms tatra balam samtvaryatām iti/ balādhyakṣās tu samrabdhā rāksasāms tāngrirhād grhāt, codavantah parivavur lankām laghuparākramāh/ tato muhūrtān nispetū rākṣasā bhīmavikramāḥ, nardanto bhīmavadanā nānāpraharaṇair bhujaiḥ/ asibhiḥ paṭṭasaiḥ śūlair galābhir musalair halaiḥ, śaktibhis tīkṣṇadhārābhir mahadbhiḥ kūṭamudgaraiḥ/ yaṣṭibhir vimalaiś cakrair niśitaiś ca paraśvadhaiḥ, bhiṇḍipālaiḥ śataghnībhir anyaiś cāpi varāyudhaiḥ/ athānayan balādhyaksāś catvāro rāvanājñayā, drutam sūtasamāyuktam yuktāstaturagam ratham/āruroha ratham divyam dīpyamānam svatejasā, rāvanah sattvagāmbhīryād dārayann iva medinīm/ rāvanenābhyanujñā tau mahāpārśvamahodarau, virūpāksaś ca durdharso rathān āruruhus tadā/ te tu hṛstā vinardanto bhindanta iya medinīm, nādam ghoram vimuñcanto niryayur jayakānksinah/ tato yuddhāya tejasyī rakṣogaṇabalair vṛtaḥ, niryayāv udyatadhanuḥ kālāntakayamomapaḥ/ tataḥ prajavanāśvena rathena sa mahārathah, dvārena nirvayau tena yatra tau rāmalaksmanau/ tato nastaprabhah sūrvo diśaś ca timirāvrtāh, dvijāś ca nedur ghorāś ca saṃcacāla ca medinī/ vavarsa rudhiram devaś caskhaluś ca turamgamāḥ, dhvajāgre nyapatad grdhro vineduś cāśivam śivāḥ/ nayanam cāsphurad vāmam savyo bāhur akampata, vivarņavadanas cāsīt kim cid abhrasyata svaraļ/ tato nispatato yuddhe dasagrīvasya raksasah, rane nidhanaśamsīni rūpāny etāni jajñire/antariksāt papātolkā nirghātasamanisvanā, vinedur aśivam grdhrā vāyasair anunāditāh/ etān acintayan ghorān utpātān samupasthitān, niryayau rāvano mohād vadhārthī kālacoditaḥ/ teṣām tu rathaghoṣeṇa rākṣasānām mahātmanām, vānarāṇām api camūr yuddhāyaivābhyavartata/ teṣām sutumulam yuddham babhūva kapirakṣasām, anyonyam āhvayānānām kruddhānām jayam icchatām/ tataḥ kruddho daśagrīvaḥ śaraiḥ kāñcanabhūṣaṇaiḥ, vānarāṇām anīkeṣu cakāra kadanam mahat/ nikrttaśirasah ke cid rāvanena valīmukhāh, nirucchvāsā hatāh ke cit ke cit pārśvesu dāritāh, ke cid vibhinnaśirasah ke cic caksurvivarjitāh/ daśānanah krodhavivṛttanetro; yato yato 'bhyeti rathena samkhye, tatas tatas tasya śarapravegam; sodhum na śekur hariyūthapās te/

Ravana having heard the 'artaa ninaadaas' from various houses of Lankapuri from where countless rakashasaas were killed by Rama banaas especially by his 'gandharvaastra', he drew long heaves of breathings and got introspective for long. All of a sudden, he was enraged, biting his lips with teeth like a pralya murti and started muttering with his looks were like agnijvaalaas. Then he raised his voice and ordered his rakshasaas in attendance nearby and shouted: 'nishacharaas! You rush at once to Mahodara, Mahaparshva and Virupaaksha and convey my instruction to attack the shatru sena with their respective soldiers at once. As the three maha rakshasaas reached Ravana, he assreted like a pralaya kaala Surya to face Rama Lakshmanas and despatch them to yamaloka and avenge their acts of the killings of Kumbhakarna, Prahastha and Indrajit. My arrows should then on usher in darkness all over the anrariksha, ashta dishas, high skies and samudras should obliterated light. The Vaanara rupa opponents are like sarovaras of lotuses and my arrows like huge elephants should trample off the lotuses in the sarovaras. The tonnes of flesh and blood of the vanara koti would then be contrented as the bhojana of crows, owls, and the rest of maamsa bhaksha animals of the forests and mountains nearby. Therefore attack at once'. As Ravana made simha garjanaas likewise, the three senapatis of Mahodara, Mahapashva and Virupaaksha with their rakshasa battalions jumped into the fray with talvaaras, patishas, shulas, gadas, musalas, halas, shaktis, kutamudgaras, chakras, bhindipaalaas, shataghnis and astra shastras. The four senapatis were eqiipped with a lakh and over chariots, three lakhs elephants, sixty crores of horses, as many donkeys and camels and numberless foot soldiers. As thus the senaadhyakskas were readied, there was another saarathi rushed in another super chariot too was rushed in being fully equipped with divyastras and glitteringly dressed up sahasra kalashas. On seeing this prize chariot, the rakshasaas themselves were wonder stricken. Then Rakshasa Maha Raja Ravana stood up as eight outstanding horses were shining bright. Then all the vaadya ninaadaass were sounded sky high. With these drum, shehnai and other high sounds were reverberating, Vanara sena realised that the Devi Sitaapaharana durachari, deva kantaka rupa Rakshasa Ravana had sinc arrived. Then as per Ravana's intructions the tree senapatis of Mahaparshva, Mahodara, and Virupakshas too were in position. tato nispatato vuddhe

daśagrīvasya raksasah, rane nidhanaśamsīni rūpāny etāni jajñire/ antariksāt papātolkā nirghāta samanisvanā, vinedur aśivam grdhrā vāyasair anunāditāh/ etān acintayan ghorān utpātān samupasthitān, niryayau rāvaņo mohād vadhārthī kālacoditah/As soon as Rakshasa Dashagriva initiated the maha yuddha, there were 'mrityu soochanaas' as aakaashas were full of 'utpaadaas, vajrapaata nisvanas, amangala pakshi ninaadaas' of owls and crow yellings. Such 'apashakunaas' were simply ignored by Ravanaasura and as had become the 'kaala prerita mahaavesha' got readied for the attack.teṣām tu rathaghoṣeṇa rākṣasānām mahātmanām, vānarāṇām api camūr yuddhāyaivābhyavartata/ tesām sutumulam vuddham babhūva kapiraksasām, anvonvam āhvavānānām kruddhānām javam icchatām/ tatah kruddho daśagrīvah śaraih kāñcanabhūsanaih, vānarānām anīkesu cakāra kadanam mahat/The maha kaya rakshasaas as alerted by Ravanaadha dhwani made all out efforts and initiated the killings of vaaraara sena. Ravana started the severings of several necks and body parts from all sides. Indeed how many heads were rolled, chests were pounded, and ears were sliced off was countless.daśānanah krodhaviyṛttanetro; yato yato 'bhyeti rathena samkhye, tatas tatas tasya śarapravegam; sodhum na śekur harivūthapās te/ As Ravana's ruthlessly indignated looks were such as even from them only a multitude of vaanaraas were burnt off into heaps of ashes Sarga Ninety Six

As Ravana was razing Vanaraas they approached Rama Sugrivas, as Sugriva attacked Virupaksha, killed his elephant, angry rakshasa slashed Sugriva who got recovered and destroyed Virupaksha

Tathā taiḥ kṛttagātrais tu daśagrīveṇa mārgaṇaiḥ, babhūva vasudhā tatra prakīrṇā haribhir vṛtā/ rāvaṇasyāprasahyam tam śarasampātam ekataḥ, na śekuḥ sahitum dīptam patamgā iva pāvakam/ te rditā nisitair bāṇaiḥ krosanto vipradudruvuḥ, pāvakārciḥsamāviṣṭā dahyamānā yathā gajāḥ/ plavamgānām anīkāni mahābhrānīva mārutah, sa yayau samare tasmin vidhaman rāvanah śaraih/ kadanam tarasā kṛtvā rāksasendro vanaukasām, āsasāda tato yuddhe rāghavam tvaritas tadā/ sugrīvas tān kapīn dṛṣṭvā bhagnān vidravato raṇe, gulme suṣeṇam nikṣipya cakre yuddhe drutam manaḥ/ātmanaḥ sadṛśam vīram sa tam nikṣipya vānaram, sugrīvo 'bhimukhaḥ śatrum pratasthe pādapāyudhaḥ/ pārśvatah prsthataś cāsva sarve vūthādhipāh svavam, anujahrur mahāśailān vividhāmś ca mahādrumān/ sa nadan yudhi sugrīvah svarena mahatā mahān, pātavan vividhām's cānvāñ jaghānottamarāksasān/ mamarda ca mahākāyo rākṣasān vānareśvaraḥ, yugāntasamaye vāyuḥ pravṛddhān agamān iva/ rāksasānām anīkesu śailavarsam vavarsa ha, aśmavarsam vathā meghah paksisamghesu kānane/ kapirājavimuktais taih śailavarsais tu rāksasāh, vikīrnaśirasah petur nikrttā iva parvatāh/ atha samksīyamānesu rāksasesu samantatah, sugrīvena prabhagnesu patatsu vinadatsu ca/ virūpāksah svakam nāma dhanvī viśrāvya rāksasah, rathād āplutya durdharso gajaskandham upāruhat/ sa tam dviradam āruhya virūpākṣo mahārathaḥ, vinadan bhīmanirhrālam vānarān abhyadhāvata/ sugrīve sa śarān ghorān visasarja camūmukhe, sthāpayām āsā codvignān rākṣasān sampraharṣayan/ so 'tividdhaḥ śitair bāṇaih kapīndras tena rakṣasā, cukrodha ca mahākrodho vadhe cāsya mano dadhe/ tataḥ pādapam uddhṛtya śūrah sampradhane harih, abhipatya jaghānāsya pramukhe tam mahāgajam/ sa tu prahārābhihatah sugrīvena mahāgajah, apāsarpad dhanurmātram nisasāda nanāda ca/ gajāt tu mathitāt tūrnam apakramya sa vīryavān, rākṣaso 'bhimukhaḥ śatrum pratyudgamya tataḥ kapim/ ārṣabham carmakhadgam ca pragrhya laghuvikramah, bhartsayann iya sugrīvam āsasāda vyayasthitam/ sa hi tasyābhisamkruddhah pragrhya mahatīm śilām, virūpāksāya ciksepa sugrīvo jaladopamām/ sa tām śilām āpatantīm drstvā rāksasapumgavah, apakramya suvikrāntah khadgena prāharat tadā/ tena khadgena samkruddhah sugrīvasya camūmukhe, kavacam pātayām āsa sa khadgābhihato 'patat/ sa samutthāya patitaḥ kapis tasya vyasarjayat, talaprahāram aśaneḥ samānam bhīmanisvanam/ talaprahāram tad rakṣaḥ sugrīveṇa samudyatam, naipuṇyān mocayitvainam muṣṭinorasy atāḍayat/ tatas tu samkruddhatarah sugrīvo vānareśvarah, mokṣitam cātmano dṛṣṭvā prahāram tena rakṣasā/ sa dadarśāntaram tasya virūpāksasya vānarah, tato nyapātayat krodhāc chankhadeśe mahātalam/ mahendrāśanikalpena talenābhihatah ksitau, papāta rudhiraklinnah śonitam sa samudvaman/ vivṛttanayanam krodhāt saphenarudhirāplutam, dadṛśus te virūpākṣam virūpākṣataram kṛtam/ sphurantam pariyarjantam pārśyena rudhiroksitam, karunam ca vinardāntam dadršuh kapayo ripum/

tathā tu tau samyati samprayuktau; tarasvinau vānararākṣasānām, balārṇavau sasvanatuḥ sabhīmam; mahārṇavau dvāv iva bhinnavelau/ vināśitam prekṣya virūpanetram; mahābalam tam haripārthivena, balam samastam kapirākṣasānām; unmattagangāpratimam babhūva/

As Ravana was slashing off the heads of the vaanaraas, the latter rallied round Shri Rama, Sugriva along with Sushena as the latter pulled off huge trees and mountain boulders. In turn the praharas of vriksha parvata prahaaras of vanaraas alarmed the Rakshasa sena as Maha Rakshasa Virupaksha attacked vanaras severely. Vurupaksha then concentrated on Sugriva the Vaanara Raja with baana varshaas. Then Sugriva decided to destroy Virupaksha who was seated on a huge elephant and having uprooted a mammoth tree and hit the elephant making resounding artanaadaas fell down. Virupaksha having jumped down the dead elephant sought to attack with his sword as a measure of atma raksha and hurt Sugriva fatally as the Vaanara Rajafell down unconsciously. On quickly recovering soon enough, folded his fist tight and hit the rakshasa who in turn with this sword tore off Sugriva's body kavacha as that fell down on Sugriva's feet which were wounded. On a flash recovery, Sugriva jumped up high and provided a vajra samaana thump on the chest which was repaid atonce similarly. Then the vanara raja lost his patience and got infuriated; tato nyapātayat krodhāc chankhadeśe mahātalam, mahendrāśanikalpena talenābhihatah kṣitau, papāta rudhiraklinnaḥ śoṇitam sa samudvaman/ vivṛttanayanam krodhāt saphenarudhirāplutam, dadrśus te virūpāksam virūpāksataram kṛtam/ sphurantam parivarjantam pārśvena rudhiroksitam, karunam ca vinardāntam dadršuh kapayo ripum/ There after, he thumped such deadly punch on Virupaksha's forehead like the vajraayudha of Mahendra as the rakshasa was crushed to the ground as his physical parts were shattered and flows of blood gushed out even as his eye lids were gazing at nothingness truly justifying his name as Virupaksha at the time of his life's conclusion made screeching noises of yellings. Thus Vaanara Raja Sugiva did the Virupaksha vadha as rakshasaas were confounded and the vaanaraas were elated.

Sarga Ninety Seven

Ravana having been upset by the fall of Virupaksha, asked Mahodara to regain the success of Rakshasaas; but Sugriva after prolonged one to one encounter could severe 'Mahodara mastaka'

Hanyamāne bale tūrnam anyonyam te mahāmrdhe, sarasīva mahāgharme sūpaksīne babhūvatuh/ svabalasya vighātena virūpākṣavadhena ca, babhūva dviguṇam kruddho rāvaṇo rākṣasādhipaḥ/ praksīnam tu balam drstvā vadhyamānam valīmukhaih, babhūvāsya vyathā yuddhe preksya daivaviparyayam/ uvāca ca samīpastham mahodaram arimdamam, asmin kāle mahābāho jayāśā tvayi me sthitā/ jahi śatrucamūm vīra darśayādya parākramam, bhartṛpiṇḍasya kālo 'yam nirveṣṭum sādhu yudhyatām/ evam uktas tathety uktvā rākṣasendram mahodaraḥ, praviveśārisenām sa patamga iva pāvakam/ tataḥ sa kadanam cakre vānarāṇām mahābalaḥ, bhartrvākyena tejasvī svena vīryeṇa coditaḥ/ Sa prabhagnām samare drstvā vānarānām mahācamūm, abhidudrāva sugrīvo mahodaram anantaram/ pragrhva vipulām ghorām mahīdharasamām śilām, ciksepa ca mahātejās tad vadhāva harīśvarah/ tām āpatantīm sahasā śilām dṛṣṭvā mahodaraḥ, asambhrāntas tato bāṇair nirbibheda durāsadām/ rakṣasā tena bānaughair nikṛttā sā sahasradhā, nipapāta śilā bhūmau gṛdhracakram ivākulam/ tāṁ tu bhinnāṁ śilām dṛstvā sugrīvah krodhamūrchitah, sālam utpātya ciksepa raksase ranamūrdhani, śaraiś ca vidadārainam sūrah parapuramjayah/ sa dadarsa tatah kruddhah parigham patitam bhuvi, āvidhya tu sa tam dīptam parigham tasya darśayan, parighāgrena vegena jaghānāsya hayottamān/ tasmād dhatahayād vīrah so 'vaplutya mahārathāt, gadām jagrāha samkruddho rākṣaso 'tha mahodaraḥ/ gadāparighahastau tau yudhi vīrau samīyatuḥ, nardantau govṛṣaprakhyau ghanāv iva savidyutau/ ājaghāna gadām tasya parigheṇa harīśvaraḥ, papāta sa gadodbhinnaḥ parighas tasya bhūtale/ tato jagrāha tejasvī sugrīvo vasudhātalāt, āyasam musalam ghoram sarvato hemabhūsitam/ tam samudyamya ciksepa so 'py anyām vyāksipad gadām, bhinnāv anyonyam āsādya petatur dharanītale/ tato bhagnapraharanau mustibhyām tau samīyatuḥ, tejobalasamāviṣṭau dīptāv iva hutāśanau/ jaghnatus tau tadānyonyam nedatuś ca punaḥ punah, talaiś cānyonyam āhatya petatur dharanītale/ utpetatus tatas tūrnam jaghnatuś ca parasparam,

bhujaiś cikṣepatur vīrāv anyonyam aparājitau/ ājahāra tadā khaḍgam adūraparivartinam, rākṣasaś carmaṇā sārdham mahāvego mahodaraḥ/ tathaiva ca mahākhaḍgam carmaṇā patitam saha, jagrāha vānaraśreṣṭhaḥ sugrīvo vegavattaraḥ/ tau tu roṣaparītāṅgau nardantāv abhyadhāvatām, udyatāsī raṇe hṛṣṭau yudhi śastraviśāradau/ dakṣiṇam maṇḍalam cobhau tau tūrṇam saṃparīyatuḥ, anyonyam abhisamkruddhau jaye praṇihitāv ubhau/ sa tu śūro mahāvego vīryaślāghī mahodaraḥ, mahācarmaṇi tam khaḍgam pātayām āsa durmatiḥ/ lagnam utkarṣataḥ khaḍgam khaḍgena kapikuñjaraḥ, jahāra saśiras trāṇam kuṇḍalopahitam śiraḥ/ nikṛttaśirasas tasya patitasya mahītale, tad balam rākṣasendrasya dṛṣṭvā tatra na tiṣṭhati/ hatvā tam vānaraiḥ sārdham nanāda mudito hariḥ, cukrodha ca daśagrīvo babhau hṛṣṭaś ca rāghavaḥ/

As Virupaksha was killed my Sugriva, Ravana had redoubled his anger, and addressed Mahodara stating that his success of the battle would depend on his mighty hands. Mahodara then intensified his spree of vaanara samhaara. Then noticing the disaster posed on vaanaras, Sugriva attacked Mahodara by hurling a mountain boulder but the rakshasa made pieces of the same. Sugriva tossed then a Saala Vriksha which too was destroyed. Further the rakshasa released a 'baana varsha' which made a furious impact on Sugriva having fallen down to earth. Sugriva hen having noticed a 'prarighaayudha' in the vicinity had hurled at the rakshasa's potent horses drawing the chariot on which Mahodara was seated on. Having jumped off from the chariot, the rakshasa veera lifted his grand mace by one hand and another his parigha. This both Sugriva and Mahodara like two powered bulls. The rakshasa hurled his mace as Sugriva flinged off his parigha. Then Sugriva having looked again on the battle front tossed off a musalaayudha. The gada-musala parasparaayudhas both fell down as pieces. tato bhagnapraharanau muştibhyām tau samīyatuḥ, tejobalasamāviṣṭau dīptāv iva hutāśanau/ jaghnatus tau tadānyonyam nedatuś ca punah punah, talaiś cānyonyam āhatya petatur dharanītale/ utpetatus tatas tūrnam jaghnatuś ca parasparam, bhujaiś ciksepatur vīrāv anyonyam aparājitau/ ājahāra tadā khadgam adūraparivartinam, rāksasaś carmanā sārdham mahāvego mahodarah/Thus with thir respective ayudhas they were either seeking or actually hurting each other by inflicting injuries mutually for long time. Then they resorted to 'hasta prahaaraas' and in the process were falling down to earth and rising thereagain. The sustained and naggingly prolonged dwandwa baahu yuddha was mutually tiring with end result either way.tathaiva ca mahākhadgam carmaṇā patitam saha, jagrāha vānaraśreṣṭhaḥ sugrīvo vegavattaraḥ/ tau tu roşaparītāngau nardantāv abhyadhāvatām, udyatāsī raņe hṛṣṭau yudhi śastraviśāradau/ dakṣiṇam mandalam cobhau tau tūrnam samparīvatuh, anyonyam abhisamkruddhau jaye pranihitāv ubhau/ sa tu śūro mahāvego vīryaślāghī mahodarah, mahācarmani tam khadgam pātayām āsa durmatih/ Then after a while having withdrawn for a while, Mahodara sprang a surprise by attacking with his khadaga with its cover with another hand. Precisely the same way, Sugriva too responded. Indeed both Mahodara and Sugriva were proving themselves with balancing 'vijaya kaanksha.' They were rapidly changing their directions from south to north and so on. Then puffed up by his own arrogance of shourya veerata, the highhanded Mahodara dared to tear off Sugriva kavacha. lagnam utkarsatah khadgam khadgena kapikuñjarah, jahāra saśiras trānam kundalopahitam śirah/ nikrttaśirasas tasya patitasya mahītale, tad balam rāksasendrasva drstvā tatra na tisthati/ hatvā tam vānaraih sārdham nanāda mudito harih, cukrodha ca daśagrīvo babhau hṛṣṭaś ca rāghavaḥ/ As Mahodara had hit and tore off Sugriva's kavacha with his sword, then Sugriva raised his khadga and sevred off the the rakshasa's head with 'shirastraana sahita kundalas' too. As Mahodara mastaka fell down, Vanara Raja Sugriva made a vijaya garjana, as Rama was pleased yet, Ravana was terribly enraged!

Sarga Ninety Eight

Mahaparshva got furious at the deaths of Virupaksha and Mahodara and demolished numberless vaanaras, but Angada with his mighty 'mushti ghaatas' tore off Mahodara's chest and heart with fatality

Mahodare tu nihate mahāpārśvo mahābalaḥ, aṅgadasya camūm bhīmām kṣobhayām āsa sāyakaiḥ/ sa vānarāṇām mukhyānām uttamāṅgāni sarvaśaḥ, pātayām āsa kāyebhyaḥ phalam vṛntād ivānilaḥ/ keṣām

cid isubhir bāhūn skandhām's cicheda rāksasah, vānarānām susamkruddhah pār'svam kesām vyadārayat/ te 'rditā bānavarsena mahāpārśvena vānarāh, visādavimukhāh sarve babhūvur gatacetasah/ nirīksya balam udvignam angado rākṣasārditam, vegam cakre mahābāhuḥ samudra iva parvaṇi/ āyasam parigham grhya sūryaraśmisamaprabham, samare vānaraśreṣṭho mahāpārśve nyapātayat/ sa tu tena prahārena mahāpārśvo vicetanah, sasūtah svandanāt tasmād visamjñah prāpatad bhuvi/ sarksarājas tu tejasvī nīlāñjanacayopamaḥ, nispatya sumahāvīryaḥ svād yūthān meghasamnibhāt/pragrhya giriśrngābhām kruddhah sa vipulām śilām, aśvāñ jaghāna tarasā syandanam ca babhañja tam/ muhūrtāl labdhasamjñas tu mahāpārśvo mahābalah, angadam bahubhir bānair bhūvas tam pratyavidhvata/ jāmbavantam tribhir bānair ājaghāna stanāntare, rksarājam gavāksam ca jaghāna bahubhih śaraih/ gavāksam jāmbavantam ca sa dṛstvā śarapīditau, jagrāha parigham ghoram angadah krodhamūrchitah/ tasyāngadah prakupito rāksasasya tam āyasam, dūrasthitasya parigham ravirasmisamaprabham/ dvābhyām bhujābhyām samgrhya bhrāmayitvā ca vegavān, mahāpārśvāya ciksepa vadhārtham vālinah sutah/ sa tu kṣipto balavatā parighas tasya rakṣasah, dhanuś ca saśaram hastāc chirastram cāpy apātayat/ tam samāsādya vegena vāliputrah pratāpavān, talenābhyahanat kruddhah karṇamūle sakundale/ sa tu kruddho mahāvego mahāpārśvo mahādvutih, karenaikena jagrāha sumahāntam paraśvadham/ tam tailadhautam vimalam śailasāramayam drdham, rākṣasaḥ paramakruddho vāliputre nyapātayat/ tena vāmāmsaphalake bhṛśam pratyavapātitam, angado mokṣayām āsa saroṣaḥ sa paraśvadham/ sa vīro vajrasamkāśam angado mustim ātmanah, samvartayan susamkruddhah pitus tulyaparākramah/ rāksasasya stanābhyāśe marmajño hṛdayam prati, indrāśanisamasparśam sa mustim vinyapātayat/ tena tasya nipātena rākṣasasya mahāmṛdhe, paphāla hṛdayam cāśu sa papāta hato bhuvi/ tasmin nipatite bhūmau tat sainvam sampracuksubhe, abhayac ca mahān krodhah samare rāyanasya tu/

As Sugriva was killed albeit after a prolonged fight, Mahapaarshva displayed his anger, even while Angada and his sena of vaanaras were anxious to attack him. Then the mighty Rakshasa lost no time to slash off the vanara sena. Angada too like the Pournami Chandra Samudra was over enthusiastic to attack the rakshasa with parigha on his forceful hand grip and hit him. Meanwhile Jambava the bhalluka raja pulled off a huge mountain slab and hurled off Mahaparshva's chariot and the horses too. Balavan veera Angada's parigha prahara with unusual speed hit at Mahaparshva's dhanush and headgear. Then Vaali putra Angada reached the rakshasa with speed and thumped a punch as the latter's ears and kundalas were hit and bruised. Equally veega shali rakshasa picked up parasaayudha. Thi weapon pharasa made of steel was already cleansed with oil and was extremely sharp and was hurled by Mahapaarshva but the alertmost Angada escaped the prarasha prahaara . Then Angada folded mighty his 'mushti' or tight fist and smacked a batter on the rakshasa's breastful wide and enormous chest as of Indra's vajra prahaara as Mahaparshva's heart cracked up and floods of blood got streamed down his body which fell down to earth. Vaanara Sena shrieked with howlings of victory, but Ravana with enflamed frenzy at the disastrous fall of Mahaparshva stood up in vengeance and retaliation.

Sarga Ninety Nine

Furious Ravana re-entered the battle, released 'Taamasaastra' killing vaanaras, resisted Lakshmana, attacked Rama, got hurt by his roudrastra, as his asuraastra which was realiated by Rama's agneyastra!

Mahodaramahāpārśvau hatau dṛṣṭvā tu rākṣasau, tasmimś ca nihate vīre virūpākṣe mahābale/āviveśa mahān krodho rāvaṇam tu mahāmṛdhe, sūtam samcodayām āsa vākyam cedam uvāca ha/ nihatānām amātyānām ruddhasya nagarasya ca, duḥkham eṣo 'paneṣyāmi hatvā tau rāmalakṣmaṇau/ rāmavṛkṣam raṇe hanmi sītāpuṣpaphalapradam, praśākhā yasya sugrīvo jāmbavān kumudo nalaḥ/ sa diśo daśa ghoṣeṇa rathasyātiratho mahān, nādayan prayayau tūrṇam rāghavam cābhyavartata/ pūritā tena śabdena sanadīgirikānanā, samcacāla mahī sarvā savarāhamṛgadvipā/ tāmasam sumahāghoram cakārāstram sudāruṇam, nirdadāha kapīn sarvāms te prapetuḥ samantataḥ/ tāny anīkāny anekāni rāvaṇasya śarottamaiḥ, dṛṣṭvā bhagnāni śataśo rāghavaḥ paryavasthitaḥ/ sa dadarśa tato rāmam tiṣṭhantam aparājitam, lakṣmaṇena saha bhrātrā viṣṇunā vāsavam yathā/ ālikhantam ivākāśam

avastabhya mahad dhanuh, padmapatraviśālāksam dīrghabāhum arimdamam/ vānarāmś ca rane bhagnān āpatantam ca rāvanam, samīksya rāghavo hrsto madhye jagrāha kārmukam/ visphārayitum ārebhe tataḥ sa dhanur uttamam, mahāvegam mahānādam nirbhindann iva medinīm/ tayoḥ śarapatham prāpya rāvaņo rājaputrayoh, sa babhūva yathā rāhuh samīpe śaśisūryayoh/ rāvaņasya ca bāṇaughai rāmavispharitena ca, śabdena rāksasās tena petuś ca śataśas tadā/ tam icchan prathamam voddhum lakṣmaṇo niśitaiḥ śaraiḥ, mumoca dhanur āyamya śarān agniśikhopamān/ tān muktamātrān ākāśe lakşmanena dhanuşmatā, bāṇān bāṇair mahātejā rāvaṇah pratyavārayat/ ekam ekena bāṇena tribhis trīn daśabhir daśa, laksmanasya praciccheda darśayan pānilāghayam/ abhyatikramya saumitrim rāyanah samitimjayah, āsasāda tato rāmam sthitam sailam ivācalam/ sa samkhye rāmam āsādya krodhasamraktalocanah, vyasrjac charavarsāni rāvano rāghavopari/ śaradhārās tato rāmo rāvanasya dhanuścyutāh, dṛstvaivāpatitāh śīghram bhallāñ jagrāha satvaram tāñ śaraughāms tato bhallais tīksnaiś ciccheda rāghavah, dīpyamānān mahāvegān kruddhān āśīvisān iva/ rāghavo rāvanam tūrnam rāvano rāghavam tathā, anyonyam vividhais tīkṣṇaiḥ śarair abhivavarṣatuḥ/ ceratuś ca ciram citram maṇḍalam savyadakşinam, bānavegān samudīkṣya samareṣv aparājitau/ tayor bhūtāni vitreṣur yugapat sampravudhvatoh, raudravoh sāvakamucor vamāntakanikāśavoh/ samtatam vividhair bānair babhūva gaganam tadā, ghanair ivātapāpāye vidyunmālāsamākulaiļ/ gavāksitam ivākāśam babhūva śūra vṛṣṭibhiḥ, mahāvegaiḥ sutīkṣṇāgrair gṛdhrapatraiḥ suvājitaiḥ/ śarāndhakāraṁ tau bhīmaṁ cakratuḥ paramam tadā, gate 'stam tapane cāpi mahāmeghāv ivotthitau/ babhūva tumulam yuddham anyonyavadhakānksinoh, anāsādyam acintyam ca vṛtravāsavayor iva/ ubhau hi paramesvāsāv ubhau śastraviśāradau, ubhau cāstravidām mukhyāv ubhau yuddhe viceratuḥ/ ubhau hi yena vrajatas tena tena śarormayaḥ, ūrmayo vāyunā viddhā jagmuḥ sāgarayor iva/ tataḥ samsaktahastas tu rāvaṇo lokarāvaṇaḥ, nārācamālām rāmasya lalāṭe pratyamuñcata/ raudracāpaprayuktām tām nīlotpaladalaprabhām, śirasā dhārayan rāmo na vyathām pratyapadyata/ atha mantrān api japan raudram astram udīrayan, śarān bhūyah samādāya rāmah krodhasamanvitah/ mumoca ca mahātejāś cāpam āyamya vīryavān, tāñ śarān rāksasendrāya ciksepācchinnasāyakah/ te mahāmeghasamkāśe kavace patitāh śarāh, avadhye rāksasendrasya na vyathām janayams tadā/ punar evātha tam rāmo rathastham rāksasādhipam, lalāte paramāstreņa sarvāstrakuśalo 'bhinat/ te bhittvā bāṇarūpāṇi pañcaśīrṣā ivoragāḥ, śvasanto viviśur bhūmim rāvanapratikūlatāh/ nihatva rāghavasvāstram rāvanah krodhamūrchitah, āsuram sumahāghoram anyad astram samādade/ simhavyāghramukhām's cānyān kankakākamukhān api, grdhraśyenamukhāms cāpi srgālavadanāms tathā/ īhāmrgamukhāms cānyān vyāditāsyān bhayāvahān, pañcāsyāmt lelihānāms ca sasarja nisitān sarān/ sarān kharamukhāms cānyān varāhamukhasamsthitān, śvānakukkutavaktrāms ca makarāsīvisānanān/ etāms cānyāms ca māyābhih sasarja nisitāñ sarān, rāmam prati mahātejāh kruddhah sarpa iva śvasan/ āsurena samāvistah so 'strena raghunandanah, sasarjāstram mahotsāhah pāvakam pāvakopamah/agnidīptamukhān bānāms tathā sūryamukhān api, candrārdhacandravaktrām's ca dhūmaketumukhān api/grahanakṣatravarṇām's ca maholkāmukhasamsthitān, vidyujjihvopamāms cānyān sasarja nisitāñ sarān/ te rāvaņasarā ghorā rāghavāstrasamāhatāḥ, vilayam jagmur ākāśe jagmuś caiva sahasraśaḥ/ tad astram nihatam dṛṣṭvā rāmenāklistakarmanā, hrstā nedus tatah sarve kapayah kāmarūpinah/

Ravana was astonished that stalwarts like Virupaksha, Mahodara and Mahapaarshvas were killed by mere vaanaraas backed by humans, he was incensed making his blood boiled up and asked his saarathi to attack with the firm decisiveness of uprooting Rama Lakshmanas. As the Kiing of Rakshasaas moved ahead, the unusual speed of the chariot as the earth passing through as pakshi samudaaya were frightened flying in directions. Then Ravana raised his dhanur baanaas and released 'taamasa astra' signifying Tamograha Rahu which was actually blessed him with by Brahma himself as the vaanaraas on his way turned off as heaps of ash. On readily noticing this catastrophe from a distance, Shri Rama stood up realising the hazards ahead while Lakshmana like Indra with Vishnu Deva. Then Rama held his dhanush ready with a mighty 'thankaara' as several rakshasaas were frightened and collapsed dead tam icchan prathamam yoddhum lakṣmaṇo niśitaiḥ śaraiḥ, mumoca dhanur āyamya śarān agniśikhopamān/ tān muktamātrān ākāśe lakṣmaṇena dhanuṣmatā, bāṇān bāṇair mahātejā rāvaṇaḥ pratyavārayat/ ekam ekena bāṇena tribhis trīn daśabhir daśa, laksmanasya praciccheda darśayan pānilāghavam/Lakshmana was desirous of

attacking Ravana with his arrows forthwith and released agni jvaajaas like 'baanaas'. Yet Ravana cooled down the water falls like Lakshmana jwaala baanas. With his unusual mastery skill of archery, Lakshmana kept on releasing single, double, treble and multiple arrows but samara vijayi Ravana kept in wiping off the releases consistently. abhyatikramya saumitrim rāvaṇaḥ samitimjayaḥ, āsasāda tato rāmam sthitam śailam ivācalam/ sa samkhye rāmam āsādya krodhasamraktalocanah, vyasrjac charavarṣāni rāvaṇo rāghavopari/ śaradhārās tato rāmo rāvaṇasya dhanuścyutāḥ, dṛṣṭvaivāpatitāḥ śīghram bhallāñ jagrāha satvaram/tāñ śaraughāms tato bhallais tīkṣṇaiś ciccheda rāghavaḥ, dīpyamānān mahāvegān kruddhān āśīvisān iva/Then having sidelined Sumitrakumara, Rayana as crossing off one parvata to another parvata, approached Shri Rama. Then Raghunaatha had reddened his looks with his vengeful eyes, and released non stop 'baana vrishti'. As Rama having noticed that Ravana's hand slipped off his grip then Rama took up the handling of 'bhalla baanaas'. rāghavo rāvanam tūrnam rāvano rāghavam tathā, anyonyam vividhais tīksnaih śarair abhivavarsatuh/ ceratuś ca ciram citram mandalam savyadakşinam, bānavegān samudīkşya samareşv aparājitau/ Then Raghava and Ravana by rapid turns released baana varshas. For quite a long spell of changing hands left and right kept on hitting each other and in the process sustaining injuries mutually yet not over come still yet. tayor bhūtāni vitreşur yugapat samprayudhyatoh, raudrayoh sāyakamucor yamāntakanikāśayoh/ samtatam vividhair bāṇair babhūva gaganam tadā, ghanair ivātapāpāye vidyunmālāsamākulaih/ gavākṣitam ivākāśam babhūva śūra -vṛstibhih, mahāvegaih sutīksnāgrair gṛdhrapatraih suvājitaih/A time had thus reached when both Rama ans Ravana were releasing fierce 'baana varshaas' like Yama dharma raja and Antaka as the samasta praanis in the samsara were terrified as at the mode of 'maha pralala of shristi'. The baana samuhaas in opposing directions were such that in the 'varsha ritu', the black clouds would get wide spread the skies all over with repetitive lightnings. The mighty baana praharaas from the opposing sides did then reveal a picture of the frightening flappings of succesive swarms of owls crossing the lower skies as frightened by the incessant 'varsha paata' of the arrow exchanges. babhūva tumulam yuddham anyonyavadhakānksinoh, anāsādyam acintyam ca vṛtravāsavayor iva/ ubhau hi paramesvāsāv ubhau śastraviśāradau, ubhau cāstravidām mukhyāv ubhau yuddhe viceratuh/ ubhau hi yena vrajatas tena tena śarormayah, ūrmayo vāyunā viddhā jagmuh sāgarayor iva/ Both Rama Raavanas were anxious and exited mutually to demolish each other like Indra and Vritraasura. [See Essence of Valmiki Kishkinbha Ramayana vide Sarga Twenty Foutr of that] Both the 'maha dhanurdharaas' were of 'yuddha kalaa nipunaas' and 'astravetta nipunaas' dominating the battle grounds. Just as per the sweep and speed of their 'baana gati dishas', it then appeared the wind direction and velocity was similar and the waves of the maha samudra too were of the same magnitude. atha mantrān api japan raudram astram udīrayan, śarān bhūyah samādāya rāmah krodhasamanvitah/ mumoca ca mahātejāś cāpam āyamya vīryavān, tāñ śarān rāksasendrāya ciksepācchinnasāyakah/ Eventually the highly enraged Shri Rama picked up a number of arrows together and utilised the 'mantra purvaka roudrastra prayoga' and having forcibly elongated right up to his ears released on Ravanasura with dexterity. te mahāmeghasamkāśe kavace patitāḥ śarāḥ, avadhye rākṣasendrasya na vyathām janayams tadā/ punar evātha tam rāmo rathastham rākṣasādhipam, lalāte paramāstrena sarvāstrakuśalo 'bhinat/ te bhittvā bānarūpāni pañcaśīrsā ivoragāh, śvasanto viviśur bhūmim rāvanapratikūlatāh/ nihatya rāghavasvāstram rāvanah krodhamūrchitah, āsuram sumahāghoram anyad astram samādade/Then the roudrastra since released was so effective as to ripped off the black clouds like Rayana's body kayacha. Again Rama released yet again mighty Rama bana hit Ravana's fore head even as he was seated on his chariot. As his 'lalaata' was injured with wounds, Ravana like a fuming and hissing five hooded and venomous 'maha sarpa raaja' descended down from his chariot. Then Raghunaadhaastra roudraastrsa damaged Ravana's forehead, the rakshas raja selected a bhayankara 'Asura naamaka astra'. That astra symbolising lions, tigers, kanka chakravaaka grudhra pakshis, wolves, foxen, pig, dog, sarpa mukha hissings, was released on Shri Rama. āsureņa samāvistah so 'strena raghunandanah, sasarjāstram mahotsāhah pāvakam pāvakopamah/ agnidīptamukhān bāṇāms tathā sūryamukhān api, candrārdhacandravaktrām's ca dhūmaketumukhān api/grahanaksatravarnām's ca maholkāmukhasamsthitān, vidyujjihvopamāms cānyān sasarja nisitāñ sarān/Then in reply to the mighty 'asuraastra' released by Ravana, the ever digilent Raghukulatilaka released 'Agneyastra'. From out the Agneyastra were revealed Agni- Surva-Chandra-Ardha Chandra-Dhumaketu- Graha- Nakshatra-Ulkas

and Lightnings too.te rāvaṇaśarā ghorā rāghavāstrasamāhatāḥ, vilayam jagmur ākāśe jagmuś caiva sahasraśaḥ/ tad astram nihatam dṛṣṭvā rāmeṇākliṣṭakarmaṇā, hṛṣṭā nedus tataḥ sarve kapayaḥ kāmarūpiṇaḥ/As Raghunaatha's counter release of Agneyastra had easily submerged the Asuraastra, yet several vaanaraa's were nodoubt destroyed. All the same, the rest of Shri Rama parivaara of Sugrivadi vaanara veeras regaled in 'harsha naadas' while Rama Lakshmanas were happy yet keeping their poise and equanimity.

Sarga Hundred

As Rama Ravana yuddha was intensified, Lakshmana intervened and the infuriated Ravana released his Mayaasura's Shakti aayudha by which Lakshmana was swooned and Rama asserted his 'prateekara'

Tasmin pratihate 'stre tu rāvaņo rākṣasādhipaḥ, krodham ca dviguṇam cakre krodhāc cāstram anantaram/ mayena vihitam raudram anyad astram mahādyutih, utsraṣṭum rāvaṇo ghoram rāghavāya pracakrame/ tataḥ śūlāni niścerur gadāś ca musalāni ca, kārmukād dīpyamānāni vajrasārāṇi sarvaśaḥ/ kūṭamudgarapāśāś ca dīptāś cāśanayas tathā, niṣpetur vividhās tīkṣṇā vātā iva yugakṣaye/ tad astram rāghavaḥ śrīmān uttamāstravidām varaḥ, jaghāna paramāstreṇa gandharveṇa mahādyutiḥ/ tasmin pratihate 'stre tu rāghavena mahātmanā, rāvanah krodhatāmrāksah sauram astram udīrayat/ tataś cakrāni nispetur bhāsvarāni mahānti ca, kārmukād bhīmavegasya daśagrīvasya dhīmatah/ tair āsīd gaganam dīptam sampatadbhir itas tataḥ, patadbhiś ca diśo dīptaiś candrasūryagrahair iva/ tāni ciccheda bāṇaughaiś cakrāṇi tu sa rāghavaḥ, āyudhāni vicitrāṇi rāvaṇasya camūmukhe/ tad astraṁ tu hatam dṛṣṭvā rāvaṇo rākṣasādhipah, vivyādha daśabhir bāṇai rāmam sarveṣu marmasu/ sa viddho daśabhir bānair mahākārmukanihsrtaih, rāvanena mahātejā na prākampata rāghavah/ tato vivyādha gātresu sarvesu samitimjayah, rāghavas tu susamkruddho rāvanam bahubhih saraih/ etasminn antare kruddho rāghavasyānujo balī, laksmanah sāyakān sapta jagrāha paravīrahā/ taih sāyakair mahāvegai rāvanasya mahādyutih, dhvajam manusyaśīrsam tu tasya ciccheda naikadhā/ sāratheś cāpi bānena śiro jvalitakundalam, jahāra lakṣmaṇaḥ śrīmān nairṛtasya mahābalaḥ/ tasya bāṇaiś ca ciccheda dhanur gajakaropamam, laksmano rāksasendrasva pañcabhir niśitaih śaraih/ nīlameghanibhāmś cāsva sadaśvān parvatopamān, jaghānāplutva gadavā rāvanasva vibhīsanah/ hatāśvād vegavān vegād avaplutva mahārathāt, krodham āhārayat tīvram bhrātaram prati rāvaņaḥ/ tataḥ śaktim mahāśaktir dīptām dīptāśanīm iva, vibhīsanāya ciksepa rāksasendrah pratāpayān/ aprāptām eva tām bānais tribhiś ciccheda laksmanah, athodatisthat samnādo vānarānām tadā rane/ sā papāta tridhā chinnā śaktih kāñcanamālinī, savisphulingā įvalitā maholkeva divas cyutā/ tatah sambhāvitatarām kālenāpi durāsadām, jagrāha vipulām saktim dīpyamānām svatejasā/ sā veginā balavatā rāvanena durātmanā, jajvāla sumahāghorā śakrāśanisamaprabhā/ etasminn antare vīro lakṣmaṇas tam vibhīṣaṇam, prāṇasamśayam āpannam tūrņam evābhyapadyata/ tam vimokṣayitum vīraś cāpam āyamya lakṣmaṇah, rāvanam śaktihastam tam śaravarṣair avākirat/kīryamāṇaḥ śaraugheṇa visṛṣṭena mahātmanā, na prahartum manaś cakre vimukhīkrtavikramah/ moksitam bhrātaram drstvā laksmanena sa rāvanah, laksmanābhimukhas tisthann idam vacanam abravīt/ moksitas te balaślāghin vasmād evam vibhīsanah, vimucva rāksasam śaktis tvayīyam vinipātyate/ eṣā te hṛdayam bhittvā śaktir lohitalakṣaṇā, madbāhuparighotsṛṣṭā prāṇān ādāya vāsvati/ ity evam uktvā tām śaktim astaghantām mahāsvanām, mayena māyāvihitām amoghām śatrughātinīm/ laksmanāya samuddiśya įvalantīm iva tejasā, rāvanah paramakruddhaś ciksepa ca nanāda ca/ sā ksiptā bhīmavegena śakrāśanisamasvanā, śaktir abhyapatad vegāl laksmanam raṇamūrdhani/ tām anuvyāharac chaktim āpatantīm sa rāghavah, svastyas tu lakṣmaṇāyeti moghā bhava hatodyamā/ nyapatat sā mahāvegā laksmaņasya mahorasi, jihvevoragarājasya dīpyamānā mahādyutiḥ/ tato rāvaṇavegena sudūram avagāḍhayā, śaktyā nirbhinnahṛdayah papāta bhuvi lakṣmaṇah/ tadavastham samīpastho lakṣmaṇam prekṣya rāghavaḥ, bhrātṛsnehān mahātejā viṣaṇṇahṛdayo 'bhavat/ sa muhūrtam anudhyāya bāspavyākulalocanah, babhūva samrabdhataro yugānta iva pāvakah/ na visādasya kālo 'yam iti samcintya rāghavah, cakre sutumulam yuddham rāvanasya vadhe dhṛtah/ sa dadarśa tato rāmaḥ śaktyā bhinnaṁ mahāhave, lakṣmaṇaṁ rudhirādigdhaṁ sapannagam ivācalam/ tām api prahitām śaktim rāvanena balīvasā, vatnatas te hariśresthā na śekur avamarditum, arditāś caiva

bānaughaih ksiprahastena raksasā/ saumitrim sā vinirbhidya pravistā dharanītalam, tām karābhyām parāmrśya rāmah śaktim bhayāyahām, babhañja samare kruddho balayad vicakarsa ca/ tasya nişkarşatah saktim rāvanena balīyasā, sarāh sarveşu gātreşu pātitā marmabhedinah/ acintayitvā tān bāṇān samāśliṣya ca lakṣmaṇam, abravīc ca hanūmantam sugrīvam caiva rāghavah, lakṣmaṇam parivāryeha tisthadhyam vānarottamāh/ parākramasya kālo 'yam samprāpto me cirepsitah, pāpātmāyam daśagrīvo vadhyatām pāpaniścayaḥ, kānkṣitaḥ stokakasyeva gharmānte meghadarśanam/ asmin muhūrte nacirāt satyam pratisrnomi vah, arāvaņam arāmam vā jagad draksyatha vānarāh/ rājyanāsam vane vāsam dandake paridhāvanam, vaidehvās ca parāmarsam raksobhis ca samāgamam/ prāptam duhkham mahad ghoram kleśam ca nirayopamam, adya sarvam aham tyaksye hatvā tam rāvanam rane/ yadartham vānaram sainyam samānītam idam mayā, sugrīvas ca kṛto rājye nihatvā vālinam rane/ yadartham sāgarah krāntah setur baddhaś ca sāgare, so 'yam adya rane pāpaś caksurvisayam āgatah/ caksurvisayam āgamya nāyam jīvitum arhati, drstim drstivisasyeva sarpasya mama rāvanah/ svasthāh paśyata durdharṣā yuddham vānarapumgavāḥ, āsīnāḥ parvatāgreṣu mamedam rāvaṇasya ca/ adya rāmasya rāmatvam paśyantu mama samyuge, trayo lokāh sagandharvāh sadevāh sarṣicāraṇāh/ adya karma karisyāmi val lokāh sacarācarāh, sadevāh kathavisyanti vāvad bhūmir dharisyati/ evam uktvā śitair bāṇais taptakāñcanabhūṣaṇaiḥ, ājaghāna daśagrīvam raṇe rāmaḥ samāhitaḥ/ atha pradīptair nārācair musalais cāpi rāvaņah, abhyavarsat tadā rāmam dhārābhir iva toyadah/ rāmarāvaņa muktānām anyonyam abhinighnatām, śarānām ca śarānām ca babhūva tumulah svanah/ te bhinnāś ca vikīrnāś ca rāmarāvanayoh śarāh, antariksāt pradīptāgrā nipetur dharanītale/ tayor jyātalanirghoso rāmarāvanayor mahān, trāsanah sarvabūtānām sa babhūvādbhutopamah/ sa kīryamānah śarajālavṛṣṭibhir; mahātmanā dīptadhanuṣmatārditaḥ, bhayāt pradudrāva sametya rāvaṇo; vathānilenābhihato balāhakah/

As his 'tamasa' and 'asurastras' were made ineffective and retarded as a waste, Ravana became terribly frustrated and angry and decided to release another bhayankaraastra on Rama which was prepared my Mayasura. This frightful 'Mayaastra' would release innumerable vaayu swarupas of shastras like shulagada-musala, mudgara, kutapaasha, ashani and so on of swarupas. But that Mayaastra was silenced by Gandharvaastra'. The enraged Ravana then released Survastra as from that astra emerged chandra survaadi navagraha maha shaktis and the entire sky and ashta diks of north-east and so on were quietened. But Rama was unnerved as the frieghtening shastras like parighas, maces, shulas and so on were all methodically destroyed. Then frustrated further, Ravana aimed at Rama's marma sthaanas with a series of ten all powerful arrows. Yet Rama was not some how able to contain himself. On the other hand, Raghuveera retaliated and his arrows did precisely the same impact on Ravanaasuraas marma sthaanaas. Meanwhile Ramanuja Lakshnana attacked Ravana with seven arrows on hand and destroyed Ravana radha dhwaja being the mastaka of the maha ratha of Ravana. Medhodically, Lakshmana further severed the ratha saradhi's head. Further, Lakshmana hit Ravana's maha dhanush too as that was cut to pieces. Vibhishana standing aside of Lakshmana jumped high and with his mighty mace and killed the 'parvataakaara rathaashwaas'. The much infuriated Ravana aimed at raja drohi Vibhishana and hurled a vajrasamaana prajjvalita weapon of 'Shakti'. Even as that shakti as hurled on Vibhishana, Lakshmana veera smashed of the Shaktyayudha with three of his arrows as the onlooking vaanara veeraas raised harsha ninaadaas. That Maha Shakti of Ravana which was decorated by 'swarna maalaas' got divided in three parts on earth as though an ulka or a meteor fallen on earth. But further vengeful Ravana lifted yet another ayudha of yet mightier Shakti ayudha on Vibhishana. Once again Lakshmana intervened and released yet another 'baana parampara' which once again saved Vibhishana. Then Ravanaasura felt as follows: moksitam bhrātaram dṛṣṭvā lakṣmaṇena sa rāvaṇaḥ, lakṣmaṇābhimukhas tiṣṭhann idam vacanam abravīt/ mokṣitas te balaślāghin yasmād evam vibhīṣaṇaḥ, vimucya rākṣasam śaktis tvayīyam vinipātyate/ eṣā te hṛdayam bhittvā śaktir lohitalakṣaṇā, madbāhuparighotsṛṣṭā prāṇān ādāya yāsyati/ Lakshmana had been consistently seeking to save my brother the ever ungrateful brother of mine. Ravana then yelled at Lakshmana's follows: Lakshmana! you appear to be a shura veera and seeking to protect Vibhishana, my ungrateful brother always. Therefore I would like to spare him for the time being and seek to teach you a good lesson and hurl off my potent Shakti auydha right on you. Indeed this Shakti

Ayudha once hurled on you should bathe you with your own hot blood too soon by piercing and breaking you heart. ity evam uktvā tām śaktim astaghantām mahāsvanām, mayena māyāvihitām amoghām śatrughātinīm/ lakṣmaṇāya samuddiśya jvalantīm iva tejasā, rāvaṇah paramakruddhaś cikṣepa ca nanāda ca/ sā kṣiptā bhīmavegena śakrāśanisamasvanā, śaktir abhyapatad vegāl lakṣmaṇam ranamūrdhani/So saying the extremely enraged Rayana held on his forceful fist the Shatrughati Shakyaayudha which was Mayasura nirmita, the eight belled 'ashtadasha videerana', and tossed aiming right at Lakshmana whose velocity had gradually got accelerated and made a simha garjana. That Maha Shakti making earthshaking sounds with 'bhayaanaka teevrata' was hurled thus, the stunned Shri Rama felt in his own heart: 'may Lakshmana be saved now or too soon and may this ayudha become futile soon enough. nyapatat sā mahāvegā laksmanasya mahorasi, jihvevoragarājasya dīpyamānā mahādyutih/ tato rāvanavegena sudūram avagādhayā, śaktyā nirbhinnahrdayah papāta bhuvi laksmanah tadavastham samīpastho laksmanam preksya rāghavah, bhrātrsnehān mahātejā visannahrdayo 'bhavat' sa muhūrtam anudhyāya bāspavyākulalocanah, babhūva samrabdhataro yugānta iva pāvakah/ This Shakti ayudha as released by Ravana was hissing like a poisonous maha sarpa had then sunk deep in the heart of Lakshmana. Then like the Naga Raja Vaasuki's poisonous tongue's lash made Lakshmana fall on earth senseless. Then Rama was just adjacent and on seeing this avastha of Lakshmana was literally nonplussed and stumped at a loss due to excessive feeling of intimate 'bhraatru prema'. sa dadarśa tato rāmaḥ śaktyā bhinnam mahāhave, laksmanam rudhirādigdham sapannagam ivācalam/ tām api prahitām śaktim rāvanena balīvasā, yatnatas te hariśresthā na śekur avamarditum/Then Rama kept on gazing the situation of Lakshmana's severe flows of blood like a maha parvata downed to earth. Meanwhile physicion vanaras were making all out efforts to some how resuscitate him. saumitrim sā vinirbhidva pravistā dharaṇītalam, tām karābhyām parāmṛśya rāmaḥ śaktim bhayāvahām, babhañja samare kruddho balavad vicakarsa ca/ tasya niskarsatah śaktim rāvanena balīyasā, śarāh sarvesu gātresu pātitā marmabhedinah/ acintayitvā tān bānān samāślisya ca laksmanam, abravīc ca hanūmantam sugrīvam caiva rāghavah, laksmanam parivāryeha tisthadhvam vānarottamāh/Then the angered and anguished Shri Rama then having realised that the bhayankara Shaki ayudha was still there deep inside Lakshmana's heart and tried to pull it out. As Rama was thus removing the ayudha, Ravana made baana varsha on Rama's 'marmaavayas, but even so Rama still went ahead all the same and addressed the kapiveeraas. parākramasya kālo 'yam samprāpto me cirepsitaḥ, pāpātmāyam daśagrīvo vadhyatām pāpaniścayaḥ, kānkṣitaḥ stokakasyeva gharmānte meghadarśanam/ asmin muhūrte nacirāt satyam pratiśṛṇomi vaḥ, arāvanam arāmam vā jagad draksyatha vānarāh/ rājyanāśam vane vāsam dandake paridhāvanam, vaidehyāś ca parāmarśam rakṣobhiś ca samāgamam/ prāptam duḥkham mahad ghoram kleśam ca nirayopamam, adya sarvam aham tyaksye hatvā tam rāvanam rane/ kapivaraas, you are merely gazing surrounding Lakshmana, but do you not realise that this is the time for your asserting the respective paraakramaas! This durbuddhi Ravana be attacked at once as I would wish to see him dead as chaataka pakshis at the end of the summer season would yearn for varshaas. Vaanara veeraas! Let me take a vow as my satya pratigina that in this samsaara, soon enough there should be a Ravana or Rama. My rajya naashana, yana niyaasa, dandakaranya's heat, Sita's Rakshasa apaharana, rakshasa samgrama are all the series of my 'yama yaatanaas', but they should all be terminated soon with Ravana Vadha! yadartham vānaram sainyam samānītam idam mayā, sugrīvas ca krto rājye nihatvā vālinam raņe/ yadartham sāgarah krāntah setur baddhaś ca sāgare, so 'yam adya rane pāpaś caksurvisayam āgatah/ caksurvisayam āgamya nāyam jīvitum arhati, dṛstim dṛstivisasyeva sarpasya mama rāvanah/ svasthāh paśyata durdharsā yuddham vānarapumgavāh, āsīnāh parvatāgresu mamedam rāvanasya ca/This indeed is the reason why I had solicited the vishala vaanaraagamana, this too was the reason for Vaali vadha and Sugriva's rajya pattaabhisheka, further again the maha samudra setu bandhana, but this maha paapi Ravana is still in before my eyes and thus my living any further would be futile. Vaanara veeraas, now you may all rest with 'nischaintata and swastyatha' or balance of mind and body might be comfortably seated on parvata shikharas with contenment for the present. adva rāmasva rāmatvam paśyantu mama samyuge, trayo lokāh sagandharvāh sadevāh sarsicāranāh/ adya karma karisyāmi yal lokāḥ sacarācarāḥ, sadevāḥ kathayiṣyanti yāvad bhūmir dhariṣyati/ evam uktvā śitair bāṇais taptakāñcanabhūsanaih, ājaghāna daśagrīvam rane rāmah samāhitah/ atha pradīptair nārācair musalaiś

cāpi rāvaṇaḥ, abhyavarṣat tadā rāmaṁ dhārābhir iva toyadaḥ/ But, don't you worry! Today, Devagandharva-siddhha-rishi chaaranaa and the tri lokaas would truly realise the Ramatva of Rama as has been truly reformed. To day, I should truly vindicate my 'parakrama' so that Prithvi should be revived, and the charaachara jagat and deva lokaas should talk about me. Thus asserting, Shri Rama continued his spree of baana varsha on Ravana as the latter too was retalliating with his 'musala varsha'. tayor jyātalanirghoṣo rāmarāvaṇayor mahān, trāsanaḥ sarvabūtānāṁ sa babhūvādbhutopamaḥ/sa kīryamāṇaḥ śarajālavṛṣṭibhir; mahātmanā dīptadhanuṣmatārditaḥ, bhayāt pradudrāva sametya rāvaṇo; yathānilenābhihato balāhakaḥ/ As the fearful sounds of 'Rama Ravana dhanush thankaaraas' as followed were such that the 'pranakoti' around were kept on getting frightened. Then as Rama baana vrarsha with such terrifying velocity of vaayu vega was experienced by Ravana and quietly withdrawn from the battle.

Sarga Hundred One

Shri Rama 'vilaapa' for Lakshmana's fainting away, but Vaanara Sushena applied Sanjeevani brought earlier by Hanuman and Lakshmana got revived again and the latter reminds of Rama's 'satya pratigina'.

Sa dattvā tumulam yuddham rāvaņasya durātmanah, visrjann eva bāṇaughān suṣeṇam vākyam abravīt/ esa rāvanavegena laksmanah patitah ksitau, sarpavad vestate vīro mama śokam udīrayan/ śonitārdram imam vīram prānair istataram mama, paśyato mama kā śaktir yoddhum paryākulātmanah/ ayam sa samaraślāghī bhrātā me śubhalakṣaṇaḥ, yadi pañcatvam āpannaḥ prāṇair me kim sukhena vā/ lajjatīva hi me vīryam bhrasyatīva karād dhanuḥ, sāyakā vyavasīdanti dṛṣṭir bāṣpavaśam gatā, cintā me vardhate tīvrā mumūrṣā copajāyate/ bhrātaram nihatam dṛṣṭvā rāvaṇena durātmanā, param viṣādam āpanno vilalāpākulendriyah/ na hi yuddhena me kāryam naiva prāṇair na sītayā, bhrātaram nihatam dṛṣṭvā laksmanam ranapāmsusu/ kim me rājyena kim prānair yuddhe kāryam na vidyate, yatrāyam nihatah sete ranamūrdhani laksmanah/ rāmam āśvāsayan vīrah suseno vākyam abravīt, na mṛto 'yam mahābāhur laksmano laksmivardhanah/ na cāsya vikṛtam vaktram nāpi śyāmam na nisprabham, suprabham ca prasannam ca mukham asyābhilakṣyate/ padmaraktatalau hastau suprasanne ca locane, evam na vidyate rūpam gatāsūnām viśām pate, mām visādam krthā vīra saprāno 'vam arimdama/ ākhvāsvate prasuptasva srastagātrasva bhūtale, socchvāsam hrdavam vīra kampamānam muhur muhuh/ evam uktvā tu vākvajñah suṣeṇo rāghavam vacaḥ, samīpastham uvācedam hanūmantam abhitvaran/ saumya śīghram ito gatvā śailam osadhiparvat, pūrvam hi kathito yo 'sau vīra jāmbavatā śubhah/ daksine śikhare tasya jātām osadhim ānaya, viśalyakaranī nāma viśalyakaranīm śubhām/ sauvarnakaranīm cāpi tathā samjīvanīm api, samdhānakaranīm cāpi gatvā śīghram ihānaya, samjīvanārtham vīrasya laksmanasya mahātmanah/ ity evam ukto hanumān gatvā causadhiparvatam, cintām abhyagamac chrīmān ajānams tā mahausadhīh/ tasya buddhih samutpannā māruter amitaujasah, idam eva gamisyāmi grhītvā sikharam gireh/ agrhya yadi gacchāmi viśalyakaraṇīm aham, kālātyayena doṣaḥ syād vaiklavyaṁ ca mahad bhavet/ iti saṁcintya hanumān gatvā kṣipram mahābalah, utpapāta gṛhītvā tu hanūmāñ śikharam gireḥ/ oṣadhīr nāvagachāmi tā aham haripumgava, tad idam śikharam kṛtsnam gires tasyāhṛtam mayā/ evam kathayamānam tam praśasya pavanātmajam, suṣeṇo vānaraśreṣṭho jagrāhotpāṭya cauṣadhīḥ/ tataḥ saṁkṣodayitvā tām oşadhim vānarottamaḥ, lakṣmaṇasya dadau nastaḥ suṣeṇaḥ sumahādyutiḥ/ saśalyaḥ sa samāghrāya laksmanah paravīrahā, viśalyo virujah śīghram udatisthan mahītalāt/ samutthitam te harayo bhūtalāt prekṣya lakṣmaṇam, sādhu sādhv iti suprītāḥ suṣeṇam pratyapūjayan/ ehy ehīty abravīd rāmo lakṣmaṇam paravīrahā, sasvaje snehagādham ca bāspaparyākuleksanah/ abravīc ca parisvajya saumitrim rāghavas tadā, diṣṭyā tvām vīra paśyāmi maraṇāt punar āgatam/ na hi me jīvitenārthaḥ sītayā ca jayena vā, ko hi me jīvitenārthas tvayi pañcatvam āgate/ ity evam vadatas tasya rāghavasya mahātmanah, khinnah śithilayā vācā lakşmaṇo vākyam abravīt/ tāṁ pratijñāṁ pratijñāya purā satyaparākrama, laghuḥ kaś cid ivāsattvo naivam vaktum ihārhasi/ na pratijnām hi kurvanti vitathām sādhavo 'nagha, lakṣaṇam hi mahat tv asya pratijñāparipālanam/ nairāśyam upagantum te tad alam matkrte 'nagha, vadhena rāvanasyādya pratijñām anupālaya/ na jīvan vāsyate śatrus tava bānapatham gatah, nardatas tīksnadamstrasya simhasyeva mahāgajaḥ/ aham tu vadham icchāmi śīghram asya durātmanaḥ, yāvad astam na yāty eṣa krtakarmā divākarah/

As Lakshmana fainted by Ravana's Shaktyaayudha prahara, Vaanara Sushena reacted and addressed Shri Rama: 'I have a special admiration for Lakshmana as he is not only famed as a 'maha dhanunush baana veeryavaan' but an inimitable Rama Bhakta; indeed how could be a prey to Ravana's Shakti prahara! As Sushena stated thus, Rama who was already aggreived added fuel to fire. He then addressed Lakshmana lying in that state: 'Shura veera Lakshmana! Even if I were to accomplish success in this maha samgrama, I would not be contented; could a blind person ever vision the beauty of full moon! Now in this kind of occasion what indeed is the purpose of prolonging this battle now and even if there might by success now. As I had experienced that Lakshmana had followed me while heading for 'vana vaasa' and now it is my turn to follow him even if he were to head for yama loka! Alas! the cruel now nishaacharaas had landed me in this desperate situation. In any and every country one could accomplish excellent women of attachment and dutifulness, but never again in the history of humanity could ever secure like Lakshmana ever! Without 'durdharsha sahodara' like Lakshmana, what indeed could I do with my Kingship of Ayodhya in his absence. Then how could I face and initiate my talk to the putra vatsala mother Devi Sumitra! How could I recoup from the implicit safety protection by me to his mother. Mothers Kousalya and Kaikeyi would evidently ask me for him and what kind of maneuvered reply that I would have to be uttered by me. Bharata Shatrughnas being well aware that Lakhmana accompanied be but which type of shameful face would have to be cut of my sorry face. With all such embarrassment and sene of shame, would it not be appropriate if I were to be turned dead. Which kind of 'aparaadhhas' were committed by me in my erstwhile lives of despicability! As Shri Rama kept on crying away likewise, Vaanara Shushena assuaged Rama's feelings thus: na cāsya vikṛtaṁ vaktraṁ nāpi śyāmaṁ na nisprabham, suprabham ca prasannam ca mukham asyābhilakṣyate/ padmaraktatalau hastau suprasanne ca locane, evam na vidyate rūpam gatāsūnām višām pate, mām visādam krthā vīra saprāno 'yam arimdama/ākhyāsyate prasuptasya srastagātrasya bhūtale, socchvāsam hṛdayam vīra kampamānam muhur muhuh/ 'Shri Rama! Kindly be assured that Veera Lakshmana is still alive as surely his face is nodoubt cestfallen with a temporary setback due to swooning merely as his heart beat is slackened not stopped'. Then he asked Hauman who too was nearby: saumya śīghram ito gatvā śailam oṣadhiparvat, pūrvam hi kathito vo 'sau vīra jāmbavatā subhah/ daksine sikhare tasva jātām osadhim ānava, viśalvakaranī nāma viśalvakaranīm śubhām/ sauvarnakaranīm cāpi tathā samijīvanīm api, samdhāna karaṇīm cāpi gatvā śīghram ihānaya, samjīvanārtham vīrasya lakṣmaṇasya mahātmanaḥ/ 'Soumya Anjaneya! Can you please urgently reach Mahodaya parvata and as Jambayan suggested earlier, on the southern parvata shikhara, seek to fetch the mahoushadhis named 'vishalya kaarani' to bridge up the gap of filling up the hole by pulling off the aayudha, 'Saavanyakarani' to cement up to the original position of the hole, 'Sanjeevakarani' which resuscitates the life movement to its original position and even freshens for betterment, and 'sandhaani' to bridge up the gaps. This treatment ought to provide a fresh life to Lakshmana'. Then as at a similar situation earlier, Hanuman failed to identify the precise herbal medicines concerned yet pulled off the Mahodaya giri shikhara and quickly reached back to the yuddha bhumi. osadhīr nāvagachāmi tā aham haripumgava, tad idam sikharam krtsnam gires tasvāhrtam mavā/ evam kathayamānam tam prasasva pavanātmajam, suseno vānaras restho jagrāhotpātva causadhīh/ tatah samkşodayitvā tām oşadhim vānarottamah, lakşmaṇasya dadau nastah suşeṇah sumahādyutih/ saśalyah sa samāghrāya laksmanah paravīrahā, viśalyo virujah śīghram udatisthan mahītalāt/Hanuman having returned addressed Sushena: 'Kapishrestha Sushena: I was not able to identify the concerned herbal medicines and therefore pulled off the parvata shikhara here'. Sushena as also the surrounding onlookers complimented Hanuman and started treatment soon and Lakshmana was soon resuscitated and reactivised and stood up refreshed again. Shri Rama had atonce embraced Lakshmana and said as follows. abravīc ca parişvajya saumitrim rāghavas tadā, distyā tvām vīra pasyāmi maraṇāt punar āgatam/ na hi me jīvitenārthaḥ sītayā ca jayena vā, ko hi me jīvitenārthas tvayi pañcatvam āgate/ ity evam vadatas tasya rāghavasya mahātmanah, khinnah śithilayā vācā laksmano vākyam abravīt/ tām pratijñām pratijñāya purā satyaparākrama, laghuh kaś cid ivāsattvo naivam vaktum ihārhasi/ Veera! I am indeed thrilled that you have been saved from the 'mrityu mukha!' Believe me that without you survived now, my life with Sita's return and my victory would have been futile indeed. Then Lakshmana in a rather dull

and feeble tone replied: 'Arya! You indeed are a satya paraakrami!na pratijñām hi kurvanti vitathām sādhavo 'nagha, lakṣaṇam hi mahat tv asya pratijñāparipālanam/ nairāṣyam upagantum te tad alam matkṛte 'nagha, vadhena rāvaṇasyādya pratijñām anupālaya/ na jīvan yāsyate ṣatrus tava bāṇapatham gataḥ, nardatas tīkṣṇadamṣṭrasya simhasyeva mahāgajaḥ/ aham tu vadham icchāmi ṣīghram asya durātmanaḥ, yāvad astam na yāty eṣa kṛtakarmā divākaraḥ/ You had already declared destroy Ravanaasura and perform Vibhishana's 'Rajyaabhisheka' . Kindly therefore fulfill your Satya Pratigina of destroying Ravana right now. Indeed your arrows are such as to desroy the enemy like a an angry royal lion should never ever spare an arrogant elephant. How I wish that Ravana's destruction too be done likewise. Veera vara! If only my appeal and prayer to you to soon fulfill your pratigina to soon destroy Ravana and to fetch back Devi Sita, then please arise to instant action'.

Sarga Hundred Two

<u>Indra sent Matali with chariot, Rama initiated baana varsha but Ravana destroyed the chariot, hurled his</u>
<u>Shakti aayudha but Rama attacked with arrows and Indra's 'Shakti' too which severely hit Ravana's body</u>

Lakṣmaṇena tu tad vākyam uktam śrutvā sa rāghavaḥ, rāvaṇāya śarān ghorān visasarja camūmukhe/ daśagrīvo rathasthas tu rāmam vajropamaih śaraih, ājaghāna mahāghorair dhārābhir iva toyadah/ dīptapāvakasamkāśaih śaraih kāñcanabhūsanaih, nirbibheda rane rāmo daśagrīvam samāhitah/ bhūmisthitasya rāmasya rathasthasya ca rakṣasaḥ, na samam yuddham ity āhur devagandharvadānavāḥ/ tatah kāñcanacitrāngah kimkinīśatabhūṣitaḥ, taruṇādityasamkāśo vaidūryamayakūbaraḥ/ sadaśvaiḥ kāñcanāpīdair yuktah śvetaprakīrņakaih, haribhih sūryasamkāśair hemajālavibhūṣitaih/ rukmavenudhvajah śrīmān devarājaratho varah, abhyavartata kākutstham avatīrya trivistapāt/ abravīc ca tadā rāmam sapratodo rathe sthitaḥ, prāñjalir mātalir vākyam sahasrāksasva sārathih/ sahasrāksena kākutstha ratho 'yam vijayāya te, dattas tava mahāsattva śrīmāñ śatrunibarhanah/ idam aindram mahaccāpam kavacam cāgnisamnibham, śarāś cādityasamkāśāh śaktiś ca vimalā śitāh/āruhyemam ratham vīra rākṣasam jahi rāvaṇam, mayā sārathinā rāma mahendra iva dānavān/ ity uktaḥ sa parikramva ratham tam abhivādva ca, āruroha tadā rāmo lokāml laksmvā virājavan/ tad babhūvādbhutam yuddham dvairatham lomaharsanam, rāmasya ca mahābāho rāvanasya ca raksasah/ sa gāndharveṇa gāndharvam daivam daivena rāghavaḥ, astram rākṣasarājasya jaghāna paramāstravit/ astram tu paramam ghoram rāksasam rāksasādhipah, sasarja paramakruddhah punar eva niśācarah/ te rāvanadhanurmuktāh śarāh kāñcanabhūsanāh, abhyavartanta kākutstham sarpā bhūtvā mahāvisāh/ te dīptavadanā dīptam vamanto įvalanam mukhaih, rāmam evābhyavartanta vyāditāsyā bhayānakāh/ tair vāsukisamasparšair dīptabhogair mahāvisaih, dišaš ca samtatāh sarvāh pradišaš ca samāvṛtāh tān drstvā pannagān rāmah samāpatata āhave, astram gārutmatam ghoram prāduścakre bhayāvaham/ te rāghavadhanurmuktā rukmapunkhāḥ śikhiprabhāḥ, suparṇāḥ kāñcanā bhūtvā viceruḥ sarpaśatravah/ te tān sarvāñ śarāñ jaghnuḥ sarparūpān mahājavān, suparnarūpā rāmasya viśikhāḥ kāmarūpiṇaḥ/ astre pratihate kruddho rāyano rāksasādhipah, abhyayarsat tadā rāmam ghorābhih śarayrstibhih/ tatah śarasahasrena rāmam aklistakārinam, ardayitvā śaraughena mātalim pratyavidhyata/ pātayitvā rathopasthe rathāt ketum ca kāñcanam, aindrān abhijaghānāśvāñ śarajālena rāvaṇaḥ/ viṣedur devagandharvā dānavāś cāranaih saha, rāmam ārtam tadā drstvā siddhāś ca paramarsayah/ vyathitā vānarendrāś ca babhūvuh savibhīsanāh, rāmacandramasam drstvā grastam rāvanarāhunā/ prājāpatyam ca naksatram rohinīm śaśinah priyām, samākramya budhas tasthau prajānām aśubhāvahah/ sadhūmaparivṛttormiḥ prajvalann iva sāgaraḥ, utpapāta tadā kruddhaḥ spṛśann iva divākaram/ śastravarnah suparuso mandaraśmir divākarah, adrśyata kabandhāngah samsakto dhūmaketunā/ kosalānām ca nakṣatram vyaktam indrāgnidaivatam, ākramyāngārakas tasthau viśākhām api cāmbare/ daśāsyo vimśatibhujaḥ pragrhītaśarāsanaḥ, adrśyata daśagrīvo maināka iva parvataḥ/ nirasyamāno rāmas tu daśagrīvena raksasā, nāśakad abhisamdhātum sāyakān ranamūrdhani/ sa kṛtvā bhrukutīm kruddhah kim cit samraktalocanah, jagāma sumahākrodham nirdahann iva caksusā/Tasya kruddhasya vadanam dṛṣṭvā rāmasya dhīmataḥ, sarvabhūtāni vitreṣuḥ prākampata ca medinī/ simhaśārdūlavāñ śailah samcacālācaladrumah, babhūva cāpi ksubhitah samudrah saritām patih/khagāś ca kharanirghosā

gagane parusasvanāh, autpātikā vinardantah samantāt paricakramuh/ rāmam drstvā susamkruddham utpātāms ca sudārunān, vitresuh sarvabhūtāni rāvanasyāvisad bhayam/ vimānasthās tadā devā gandharvāś ca mahoragāḥ, rṣidānavadaityāś ca garutmantaś ca khecarāḥ/ dadṛśus te tadā yuddham lokasamvartasamsthitam, nānāpraharaṇair bhīmaiḥ śūrayoḥ samprayudhyatoḥ/ ūcuḥ surāsurāḥ sarve tadā vigraham āgatāh, preksamānā mahāvuddham vākvam bhaktvā prahrstavat/ daśagrīvam javetv āhur asurāḥ samavasthitāḥ, devā rāmam athocus te tvam jayeti punaḥ punaḥ/ etasminn antare krodhād rāghavasya sa rāvaṇaḥ, prahartukāmo duṣṭātmā spṛśan praharaṇam mahat/ vajrasāram mahānādam sarvaśatrunibarhaṇam, śailaśrnganibhaiḥ kūṭaiś citam dṛṣṭibhayāvaham/ sadhūmam iva tīkṣṇāgram yugāntāgnicayopamam, atiraudram anāsādyam kālenāpi durāsadam/ trāsanam sarvabhūtānām dāranam bhedanam tathā, pradīpta iva rosena śūlam jagrāha rāvanah/ tac chūlam paramakruddho madhye jagrāha vīryavān, anekaih samare śūrai rāksasaih parivāritah/ samudyamya mahākāyo nanāda yudhi bhairavam, samraktanayano rosāt svasainyam abhiharsayan/ pṛthivīm cāntariksam ca diśaś ca pṛadiśas tathā, prākampayat tadā śabdo rākṣasendrasya dāruṇaḥ/ atinādasya nādena tena tasya durātmanah, sarvabhūtāni vitresuh sāgaras ca pracuksubhe/ sa grhītvā mahāvīryah sūlam tad rāvaņo mahat, vinadya sumahānādam rāmam parusam abravīt/ śūlo 'vam vajrasāras te rāma rosān mayodvatah, tava bhrātṛsahāyasya sadyaḥ prāṇān harisyati/ rakṣasām adya śūrāṇām nihatānām camūmukhe, tvām nihatya raṇaślāghin karomi tarasā samam/ tiṣṭhedānīm nihanmi tvām eṣa śūlena rāghava, evam uktvā sa cikṣepa tac chūlam rāksasādhipah/āpatantam śaraughena vārayām āsa rāghavah, utpatantam yugāntāgnim jalaughair iva vāsavah/ nirdadāha sa tān bānān rāmakārmukanihsṛtān, rāvanasya mahāśūlah patamgān iva pāvakaḥ/ tān dṛṣṭvā bhasmasād bhūtāñ śūlasamsparśacūrṇitān, sāyakān antarikṣasthān rāghavaḥ krodham āharat/ sa tām mātalinānītām śaktim vāsavanirmitām, jagrāha paramakruddho rāghavo raghunandanah/ sā tolitā balavatā śaktir ghaṇṭākṛtasvanā, nabhaḥ prajvālayām āsa yugāntolkeva saprabhā/ sā ksiptā rāksasendrasya tasmiñ śūle papāta ha, bhinnah śaktyā mahāñ śūlo nipapāta gatadyutih/ nirbibheda tato bānair hayān asya mahājavān, rāmas tīksnair mahāvegair vajrakalpaih śitaih śaraih/ nirbibhedorasi tadā rāvanam niśitaih śaraih, rāghavah paramāyatto lalāte patribhis tribhih/ sa śarair bhinnasarvāngo gātraprasrutaśonitah, rāksasendrah samūhasthah phullāśoka ivābabhau/ sa rāmabāṇair atividdhagātro; niśācarendraḥ kṣatajārdragātraḥ, jagāma khedam ca samājamadhve; krodham ca cakre subhrsam tadānīm/

On recovery from the stage of collapsed blackout, Lakshmana alerted provocatively and Shri Rama picked up his maha dhanush and initiated his baana varsha on Dashagriva like Surya on Rahu graha. Shri Rama was standing firm on earth as Ravana on a fresh set of 'radhaashva sarathis'. It seemed that Deva Gandharva Kinnars were then pointing out that it was unfair Rama standing on earth and Ravana by a chariot! Then Indra was alerted and called for 'Maatali' the charioteer of Indra and asked Maatali to reach Shri Rama to utilise his services as per Indra's instructions. Maatali further stated that Indra Deva had also instructed him to provide Indra's dhanush too. Indeed Rama was an outstanding 'astra jnaani' and having been blessed with the dhanush of Indra too alighted on the celestial chariot initiated flinging off tha baana yarsha. As Rayana released gandharyaastra, Rama too released another gandharyaastra and similarly as Rayana tossed of a devaastra ama too balanced off with a counter Devaastra. Then Rayana hurled off a powerful sarpaastra replete with thick layers of poison. The prajjylita agnimukha sarpastra was approaching Rama with alarming velocity it was like the Vaasuki Sarpa Mukha darkening 'dasha dishas', then in reply Shri Rama with uncommon alacrity and precision released 'Garudaastra'. By then Ravana was infuriated and ke pt on hurling continous and nonstop 'astra saadhana' which impaired Indra Radha Saaradhi Maatali himself. Then Ravana desrtoyed the Indra Radha Dhwaja and eventually hurt the ashvaas too. On visioning this Deva Gandharva Chaarana Daanavaas too were stunned while Siddha Maharshis too were disheartened. Then Shri Rama rupi Chandra and Ravana swarupi Rahu graha appeared to have attacked each other. Surya kiranaas then appeared to have got shaded as Dhumaketu naamaka uppaata graha was seen on the horizon. Then Dashagriva Ravana holding his dhanush was like Mainaka Parvata in the Maha Samudra. daśagrīvam jayety āhur asurāh samavasthitāh, devā rāmam athocus te tvam jayeti punaḥ/etasminn antare krodhād rāghavasya sa rāvaṇaḥ, prahartukāmo dustātmā spršan praharanam mahat/ vajrasāram mahānādam sarvašatrunibarhanam, šailašrnganibhaih

kūtaiś citam drstibhayāyaham/Then Shri Rama tauntingly hailed Rayana stating 'Rayana! Victory for you!' Then Ravana too teased Rama mockingly and said: 'Rama! Victory for you too. Then Ravana had furiously picked up a deadly 'shulaayudha' which indeed was like a ' pralaya kaala dhuma yukta gni raashi'and made a 'simha naada'. śūlo 'yam vajrasāras te rāma roṣān mayodyataḥ, tava bhrātṛsahāyasya sadvah prānān harisvati/ raksasām adva śūrānām nihatānām camūmukhe, tvām nihatva ranaślāghin karomi tarasā samam/ tiṣṭhedānīṁ nihanmi tvām eṣa śūlena rāghava, evam uktvā sa cikṣepa tac chūlaṁ rākṣasādhipah/As that Shulaayudha was being handled by Ravana, he addressed Rama that it was like of vajra samana shakti; you appear to be too anxious to destroy rakshasaas and indeed countless rakshasa veeraas were smashed by you already, but now, wait Raghukula Raja Kumara, it is high time that you and Lakshmana are sent to Yama ghat. No sooner Ravana hurled the 'Shaktimaan maha shula' than Rama released mantrika baanaas. By the Raghunadha bana varshas coolled off the Shula Prahara which fell off in pieces. Then the highly infuriated Shri Rama wished to pay back to Ravana revengefully. Then he took up the Maha Shakti which Indra handed over to Matali the charioteer of Indra. That Shakti ayudha of Indra was like the 'pralaya kaala prajjyalita ulkaa samana' or the meteor witnessed on the high skies shot down to earth. As Rama hurled Shakti on the shula, Ravana's horses were killed while his robust chest was pierced through Rama's mighty arrows simultaneously. sa śarair bhinnasarvāngo gātraprasruta śonitah, rākṣasendraḥ samūhasthaḥ phullāśoka ivābabhau/ sa rāmabāṇair atividdhagātro; niśācarendrah ksatajārdragātrah, jagāma khedam ca samājamadhye; krodham ca cakre subhrsam tadānīm/Further Rama bana varshaas caused Ravanaa's all the physical parts were pierced through and his bood streams flowed off the areas all around as he fell down totally incapacitated as he was indeed angered and ashamed too.

Sargas Hundred Three and Four

In the course of the dwandva baana praharaas, Ravana boasted off and Rama listed his shameless Sitaapaharana and such adharmas; Ravana hit Rama and the latter smashed off so much as Ravana's sarathi ran back yet returned later

Sa tu tena tadā krodhāt kākutsthenārdito rane, rāvanah samaraślāghī mahākrodham upāgamat/ sa dīptanayano roṣāc cāpam āyamya vīryavān, abhyardayat susamkruddho rāghavam paramāhave/ bānadhārāsahasrais tu sa toyada ivāmbarāt, rāghavam rāvano bānais tatākam iva pūrayat/ pūritah śarajālena dhanurmuktena samyuge, mahāgirir ivākampyah kākustho na prakampate/ sa śaraih śarajālāni vārayan samare sthitah, gabhastīn iva sūryasya pratijagrāha vīryavān/ tatah śarasahasrāni ksiprahasto niśācarah, nijaghānorasi kruddho rāghavasya mahātmanah/ sa śonitasamādigdhah samare lakşmanāgrajah, drstah phulla ivāranye sumahān kimśukadrumah/ śarābhighātasamrabdhah so 'pi jagrāha sāyakān, kākutsthah sumahātejā yugāntādityavarcasah/ tato 'nyonyam susamrabdhāv ubhau tau rāmarāvaṇau, śarāndhakāre samare nopālakṣayatām tadā/ tataḥ krodhasamāviṣṭo rāmo daśarathātmajah, uvāca rāvanam vīrah prahasva parusam vacah/mama bhārvā janasthānād ajñānād rāksasādhama, hrtā te vivaśā vasmāt tasmāt tvam nāsi vīrvavān/ mayā virahitām dīnām vartamānām mahāvane, vaidehīm prasabham hrtvā śūro 'ham iti manyase/ strīșu śūra vināthāsu paradārābhimarśake, kṛtvā kāpurusam karma śūro 'ham iti manyase/ bhinnamaryāda nirlajja cāritresv anavasthita, darpān mṛtyum upādāya śūro 'ham iti manyase/ śūrena dhanadabhrātrā balaih samuditena ca, ślāghanīyam yaśasyam ca kṛtam karma mahat tvayā/ utsekenābhipannasya garhitasyāhitasya ca, karmanah prāpnuhīdānīm tasyādya sumahat phalam/ śūro 'ham iti cātmānam avagacchasi durmate, naiva lajjāsti te sītām coravad vyapakarṣataḥ/ yadi matsamnidhau sītā dharṣitā syāt tvayā balāt, bhrātaram tu kharam paśyes tadā matsāyakair hatah/ diṣṭyāsi mama duṣṭātmamś cakṣurviṣayam āgataḥ, adya tvām sāyakais tīksnair nayāmi yamasādanam/ adya te maccharaiś chinnam śiro įvalitakundalam, kravyādā vyapakarsantu vikīrnam ranapāmsusu/ nipatyorasi grdhrās te ksitau ksiptasya rāvana, pibantu rudhiram tarsād bānaśalyāntarothitam/ adya madbānābhinnasya gatāsoh patitasya te, karsantv antrāni patagā garutmanta ivoragān/ ity evam sa vadan vīro rāmah śatrunibarhaṇaḥ, rākṣasendram samīpastham śaravarsair avākirat/ babhūva dvigunam vīrvam balam harsaś ca samvuge, rāmasvāstrabalam caiva

śatror nidhanakānkṣiṇaḥ/ prādurbabhūvur astrāṇi sarvāṇi viditātmanaḥ, praharṣāc ca mahātejāḥ śīghrahastataro 'bhavat/ śubhāny etāni cihnāni vijñāyātmagatāni saḥ, bhūya evārdayad rāmo rāvaṇam rākṣasāntakṛt/ harīṇām cāśmanikaraiḥ śaravarṣaiś ca rāghavāt, hanyamāno daśagrīvo vighūrṇahṛdayo 'bhavat/ yadā ca śastram nārebhe na vyakarṣac charāsanam, nāsya pratyakarod vīryam viklavenāntarātmanā/ kṣiptāś cāpi śarās tena śastrāṇi vividhāni ca, na raṇārthāya vartante mṛtyukāle 'bhivartataḥ/ sūtas tu rathanetāsya tadavastham nirīkṣya tam, śanair yuddhād asambhānto ratham tasyāpavāhayat/

Sa tu mohāt susamkruddhah krtāntabalacoditah, krodhasamraktanayano rāvano sūtam abravīt/ hīnavīryam ivāśaktam paurusena vivarjitam, bhīrum laghum ivāsattvam vihīnam iva tejasā/ vimuktam iva māyābhir astrair iva bahiskṛtam, mām avajñāya durbuddhe svayā buddhyā vicestase/kimartham mām avajñāya macchandam anaveksya ca, tvayā śatrusamaksam me ratho 'yam apavāhitah/ tvayādya hi mamānārya cirakālasamārjita, yaśo vīryam ca tejaś ca pratyayaś ca vināśitah/śatroḥ prakhyātavīryasya rañjanīvasva vikramaih, paśvato vuddhalubdho 'ham krtah kāpurusas tvavā/ vas tvam ratham imam mohān na codvahasi durmate, satyo 'yam pratitarko me pareņa tvam upaskṛtaḥ/ na hīdam vidyate karma suhrdo hitakānkṣiṇaḥ, ripūṇām sadrśam caitan na tvayaitat svanuṣṭhitam/ nivartaya ratham śīghram yāvan nāpaiti me ripuḥ, yadi vāpy uṣito 'si tvam smaryante yadi vā guṇāḥ/ evam paruṣam uktas tu hitabuddhir abuddhinā, abravīd rāvanam sūto hitam sānunayam vacah/ na bhīto 'smi na mūdho 'smi nopajapto 'smi śatrubhih, na pramatto na nihsneho vismrtā na ca satkriyā/ mayā tu hitakāmena yaśaś ca parirakşatā, snehapraskannamanasā priyam ity apriyam kṛtam/ nāsminn arthe mahārāja tvam mām priyahite ratam, kaś cil laghur ivānāryo doṣato gantum arhasi/ śrūyatām abhidhāsyāmi yannimittam mayā rathaḥ, nadīvega ivāmbhobhih samyuge vinivartitaḥ/ śramam tavāvagacchāmi mahatā ranakarmanā, na hi te vīra saumukhyam praharsam vopadhāraye/ rathodvahanakhinnāś ca ta ime rathavājinah, dīnā gharmapariśrāntā gāvo varsahatā iva/ nimittāni ca bhūyistham yāni prādurbhavanti nah, tesu tesv abhipannesu laksayāmy apradaksinam/ deśakālau ca vijñeyau laksanānīngitāni ca, dainyam harsaś ca khedaś ca rathinaś ca balābalam/ sthalanimnāni bhūmeś ca samāni visamāni ca, yuddhakālas ca vijneyaḥ parasyāntaradarsanam/ upayānāpayāne ca sthānam pratyapasarpaṇam, sarvam etad rathasthena jñevam rathakutumbinā/ tava viśrāmahetos tu tathaisām rathavājinām, raudram varjayatā khedam ksamam krtam idam mavā/ na mayā svecchayā vīra ratho 'yam apayāhitah, bhartṛsnehaparītena mayedam yatkṛtam vibho/ājñāpaya yathātattvam vakṣyasy ariniṣūdana, tat karisyāmy aham vīram gatānrnyena cetasā/ samtustas tena vākyena rāvanas tasva sāratheh, praśasyainam bahuvidham yuddhalubdho 'bravīd idam/ ratham śīghram imam sūta rāghavābhimukham kuru, nāhatvā samare śatrūn nivartisyati rāvanah/ evam uktvā tatas tusto rāvano rāksaseśvarah, dadau tasya subham hy ekam hastābharanam uttamam/ tato drutam rāvanavākyacoditah; pracodayām āsa hayān sa sārathiḥ, sa rākṣasendrasya tato mahārathaḥ; kṣaṇena rāmasya raṇāgrato 'bhavat/

Ravanaasura was put to shame by Rama banaas, got extremely agitated and anguished, stood up with resolve, raised his bow and arrows and initiated rains of arrows on Rama who like a stitha pragjna of unusual equanimity kept on retaliating. In the process, Ravana baana varasha of thousands of arrows hurt Rama's chest and blood flows were commenced. Then Shri Rama like a pralaya kala Surya Deva kept on reacted hitting back interminably as there was darkeness all around by the severe 'baanaprahaaras' mutually. Then Shri Rama made a simha garjana at the dushta rakshasa: mama bhāryā janasthānād ajñānād rākṣasādhama, hṛtā te vivaśā yasmāt tasmāt tvam nāsi vīryavān/ mayā virahitām dīnām vartamānām mahāvane, vaidehīm prasabham hṛtvā śūro 'ham iti manyase/ strīṣu śūra vināthāsu paradārābhimarśake, kṛtvā kāpuruṣam karma śūro 'ham iti manyase/ Neecha Rakshasa! You had shamelessly and cunningly kidnapped my dear Sita Devi in janasthana in my absence like a coward and claim to be maha veera! You show off your bravery to an 'asahaya abala' as a depraved 'kaapurusha' going round and asserting the make believe commonality of the public as a 'shura veera'. bhinnamaryāda nirlajja cāritreṣv anavasthita, darpān mṛtyum upādāya śūro 'ham iti manyase/ śūreṇa dhanadabhrātrā balaiḥ samuditena ca, ślāghanīyam yaśasyam ca kṛtam karma mahat tvayā/ utsekenābhipannasya garhitasyāhitasya ca, karmaṇaḥ prāpnuhīdānīm tasyādya sumahat phalam/ śūro 'ham iti cātmānam

avagacchasi durmate, naiva lajjāsti te sītām coravad vyapakarsatah/ vadi matsamnidhau sītā dharsitā syāt tyayā balāt, bhrātaram tu kharam paśyes tadā matsāyakair hatah/ 'Dharma maryaada bhanga maha paapi'! you are a typically shameless, 'sadaachaara shunya Nishachara! You have truly aggravated your wickedness and immorality in the name 'Vaidehi swarupa' to the proximity of your fatality. You indeed are a shura veera, bala sampanna, sakshaat Kubera's degenarate brother and that is how you were able to resort to the 'famed and memorable' deed of 'Sitaapaharana' shamelessly! Evil minded nishaachara! How come you go around and publicise of your greatness, but now you surely deserve to reach your dear brother Khara right away, distyāsi mama dustātmam's caksurvisayam āgatah, adva tyām sāvakais tīksnair nayāmi yamasādanam/ adya te maccharaiś chinnam śiro įvalitakundalam, kravyādā vyapakarsantu vikīrnam ranapāmsusu/ nipatyorasi grdhrās te ksitau ksiptasya rāvana, pibantu rudhiram tarsād bānaśalyāntarothitam/ adya madbānābhinnasya gatāsoh patitasya te, karsantv antrāni patagā garutmanta ivoragān/ Manda buddhi Ravana! This indeed is my 'soubhagya' the great fortune that you are right before me. Now you surely deserve to reach yama loka by my arrows. Now, by the sharpness and precision of my arrows you should fall down to dust as your glittering 'kundala yukta mastaka' would .soon be a satisfying meal of 'maamsa bhakski jeeva jantus' as they should lap up with contentment. Ravana! as your corpse thrown off soon, several kites on the skies should at once swoop down at the numberless cuts and the streams of your fresh and hot blood and quench their thirst.' Having addressed Ravana as above, Shri Rama started off the release of relentless 'baana varsha'. harīnām cāśmanikaraih śaravarsaiś ca rāghavāt, hanyamāno daśagrīvo vighūrnahṛdayo 'bhavat/ yadā ca śastram nārebhe na vyakarşac charāsanam, nāsya pratyakarod vīryam viklavenāntarātmanā/ kṣiptāś cāpi śarās tena śastrāṇi vividhāni ca, na ranārthāva vartante mrtvukāle 'bhivartatah' sūtas tu rathanetāsva tadavastham nirīksva tam, śanair yuddhād asambhānto ratham tasyāpavāhayat/ Added to this, Vaanara sena too complemented their rokceting of maha vrishas and mountain boulders on Ravana, his chariot and the rathaasvaas too as Ravana got flabbergasted as of 'hridaya vyaakula vibhtanta'. As each time he was seeking to raise his bow and arrows, and release the baanaas he was simply disabled to do so astonished with Rama Vaanara praharas and essentially owing to the guilt complex of Rama's erstwhile exhortations, truly realising thath the 'mrityu kaalaa' was in the vicinity. Realising the criticality of the situation, the radha chaalaka sarathi of Ravana, had quietly withdrawn from the 'maha sangrama.'

Sarga hundred four continued

As the saaradhi of Ravana radha had quietly with drawn on his own volition, Ravana got furious and shouted on the sarathi: 'Durbuddhi Saradhi! Have you decided that I am a paraakramashunya, asamartha, purushartha shunya, timid, dhairya heena, nisteja, maayaa rahita, and astra jnaana vanchita! Yiu had suddenly ran back and withdran from this battle on your own decision. Thus you have ruined my long earned fame, bravery, luminosity and reliability to deep muddy waters and had exposed me as a nervous and hesitant nervous wreck! You are not my worthy upholder of my trust and reliability but indeed my enemy.' As the King yelled on him thus, the Saradhi with expandinary politeness and courtesy replied in a rather convincing manner as follows: na bhīto 'smi na mūḍho 'smi nopajapto 'smi śatrubhiḥ, na pramatto na niḥsneho vismṛtā na ca satkriyā/ mayā tu hitakāmena yaśaś ca parirakṣatā, snehapraskannamanasā priyam ity apriyam kṛtam/ nāsminn arthe mahārāja tvam mām priyahite ratam, kaś cil laghur ivānāryo dosato gantum arhasi/ Maha Raja! Neither I was terrified nor lost my senses nor rattled by the enemies.; the great trust and confidence that you have has showered me with is unforgettable and unsual. I admire you and always seek to ensure your success and universal fame. How indeed could I ever harm your worldwide reputation as your ever devoted welfare seeker and promoter. Kindly never ever make a 'doshaaropana' on me as a faithless, ungrateful and nervous being. śrūyatām abhidhāsyāmi yannimittam mayā rathaḥ, nadīvega ivāmbhobhiḥ samyuge vinivartitaḥ/ śramam tavāvagacchāmi mahatā ranakarmanā, na hi te vīra saumukhyam praharsam vopadhāraye/ rathodvahanakhinnās ca ta ime rathavājinah, dīnā gharmaparisrāntā gāvo varsahatā iva/ nimittāni ca bhūyiṣṭham yāni prādurbhavanti naḥ, teṣu teṣv abhipanneṣu lakṣayāmy apradakṣiṇam/ We all realize that as as one sees chandrodaya on the horizon, Samudra jalaas too recede for a while; may I now explain why

I had receded from the battle front. At that particular time, I realised that you were overworked and got too tired physically as you kept on thinking and planning on and on yet never due to the pressure of the enemies which indeed was not an issue at all. But my horses were rather tired by dragging the chariot and their own feet too on and on with thirst typical of groups cows with long spell of rainlessness and over work under a severe Sun. More over, very many 'amangala suchanas' or inauspicious omen were prevalent too. deśakālau ca vijñeyau lakṣaṇānīṅgitāni ca, dainyam harṣaś ca khedaś ca rathinaś ca balābalam/ sthalanimnāni bhūmeś ca samāni viṣamāṇi ca, yuddhakālaś ca vijñeyaḥ parasyāntara darśanam/ upayānāpayāne ca sthānam pratyapasarpaṇam, sarvam etad rathasthena jñeyam rathakutumbinā/ tava viśrāmahetos tu tathaisām rathavājinām, raudram varjayatā khedam ksamam krtam idam mayā/ It is asserted that a mature minded charioteer should need to critically analyse the prevalent desha-kaala-parishithis, shubhaashubha lakshanaas, ratha-ashva-rathika cheshhtas or their ongoing enthusiasm or the lacking of it, besides of course the swings of 'balaabalaas' are all to be critically anlysed. Maha Raja! it is the bounden responsibility of a charioteer to face the enemy from close quarters, or with draw, or stay put with confidence or if need be to withdraw for a while. It would be always prudent to provide some occasional rest for the horses/ swacchha yaa na mayaa vīra ratho 'yam apavāhitah, bhartṛsnehaparītena mayedam yatkṛtam vibho/ājñāpaya yathātattvam vakṣyasy ariniṣūdana, tat karişyāmy aham vīram gatānrnyena cetasā/ samtustas tena vākyena rāvaņas tasya sāratheḥ, praśasyainam bahuvidham yuddhalubdho 'bravīd idam/ ratham śīghram imam sūta rāghavābhimukham kuru, nāhatvā samare śatrūn nivartisyati rāvanah/ Veera Prabho! It is just not my intention to hurt your feelings but on the other hand that only out of considerarion and even admiration for you that I had temporarily withdrawn the chariot for a while. Shatru sudana Veera, now kindly instruct me to act as per your decition as I am ever obliged and indebted to you for ever.' Then King Ravana was pleased with the elaborate and sincere explanation of his saarathi and replied as follows: 'Suta! Now forthwith take the chariot right before Rama and precisely as per the directice, the chariot was kept right before Shri Rama..

Sarga Hunded and Five

Agastya Muni's eminet ADITYA HRIDAYA with invocations of Viniyoga - Rishi- Karanyasa-Hridayanga Nyaasa Vidhi Mantras

Invocations:

<u>Viniyoga:</u> Om asya Aditya Hridaya stotrasyaagastya rishiranushthubcchhanndah; aadityahridayabhuto Bhagavaan Brahmaa devataa nirastyaasheshavighnatayaa Brahma idyaa siddhhou sarvatra jaya siddhou cha viniyogah/

Rishyaadinyaasa: Om Agastya rishaye namah, shirasi/anushthubcchhandase namah, mukhe/Aditya hridayabhuta brahma devataayai namah, hridi/ Om beejaaya namah, guhyo/ Om Rashmimate shaktaye namah, paadayoh/ Om tatsaviturrityaadi gaayatree keelakaaya namah, naabhou/

<u>Karanyaasa:</u> Om Rashmimataye angushthaabhyaam namah/ Om samudyate tarjaneebhyaam namah/ Om Devaasura namaskrityaaya madhamaabhyaam nanah/ Om Vivasvate anaamikaabhyaam namah/ Om Bhaskaraaya kanishthikaabhyaam namah/ Om Bhuvaneshvaraaysaw karatalaprishthaabhyaam namah/

<u>Hridayaadi Anganyaasa:</u>Om Rashmimate hridayaaya namah/ Om samudyateshirase swaah/ Om Devaasura namaskrityaaya shikhaayai vashat/ Om Vaivasvate kavachaaya hum/ Om Bhaskaraaya netra trayaaya voushat/ Om Bhuvaneshwaraaya astraaya phat/

Om bhurbhuvah svah tasavarenyam Bharo Devasya dheemahi dhiyo yo nah prachodyaat/

THEN FOLLOWS ADITYA HRIDAYA STOTRA PAATHA

Tato Yuddha parishrantham Samare chinmayaasthitham, Raavanam chaagratho dhrushtva Yuddhaya Samupasthitham / Daivathescha samaagamya drashtumaabhayagato ranam, Upagamya braveedrama magastyo Bhagavan Rishih/ Raama Raama mahabaho, Shrunu Guhyam Sanaathanam, Ena sarvaa nareenvathsa Samere vijayashasi/ Aditya Hridayam Punyam Sarva Shathru vinaasanam, Jayaayaham Japennithyam akshayyam pramam Shivam /Sarva Mangala maanganglyam sarva paapa pranasanam chintashoka prashamana mayur vardhhana muttamam / Ra shmimantham Samudyantam Devasura, Namaskrutam, Pujayaswa Vivaswantham Bhaaskaram Bhuvaneshwaram/ Sarva Vedaanthako heysshas Tejasvi rasmibhaayanah, yesha Deyaassura gananlokan paathi gabhastibhih / Esha Brahmecha Vishnuscha Shiva Skanda rajapathih, Mahendro Dhanadah Kaalo Yama Somohyapaampathim/ Pitaro Vasavassaadhya Hyashvino marutomaruh, Vaayurvahnih Prajaaprana ritukartha Prabhakarah/ Aaditya Savithassuryah khagah pushaa Gabhastiman, Suvarna sadruso Bhaanuh vishva retha Divaakarah/ Hardasyva ssahasararchi Sapta Saptir Marichiman / Timironmadhana Shambhustwasthta Martandam Anushman/ Hiranyagarbhas sisirahstapano Bhaskaro Ravih, agnigarbhodite putrah shankhassisira naashanah/ Vyomanathahstamo bhedi Rig yajur Saama paaragah ,Ghanavrishtirapam mitro vindhya Veedheeh plavangamaha/ Aatapee mandalir mrutyur pingalah sarva taapanah, Kavirvishvo Maha Tejah rakta sarva ssabodbhavah/ Nakshatragana Taaraana madhipo Viswa bhaavana, Tejasamapi Tejasvi Dwadashatma namosthutey/ Namah purvaya giraye paschimaadrayenamah, Jyotiragaanam dinaadhi pathaye namah/ Jayaya Jaya Bhadraya Haryasyaya namonamah, Namo namassahasramso Adityaya nomonamah/ Namah Ugraya eeraya Saarangaya namonamah, Namah Padma Prabhodaya Marthaandaya namah / Brahmeshanaachuteshaya Suryaadithya yarchase, Bhaaswate Sarva bhakshaya Roudraya Vapushe namah / Tamoghnaya Himaghnaya Shatrughnaya amithatmane, Krithaghna hanyaya Devaya Jyotishampathaye namah/Taptachaamika rabhyaya Haraye Vishvakarmane, Namasthamo bhignaya Ruchaye Loka Saakshiney/ Naasayatyesha vibhutam tha Deva srujatih Prabhuh, Payatyesha Tapatyesha varshatyesha gabhasitih/ Esha Supteshu Jaagarti Bhuteshu parinishthithah, Esha evagnihothramcha phalam chaivagnihotrinam/ Vedantha kratavaschiva Kratuunam Phalamevacha, Yani krutyani lokeshu Sarva esha Ravi Prabhuh/ Yena maapathsyu krushcheshu kanthareshu bhayeshucha, kirthayan Purusha kaschinnayaseedhati Raghaya/ Pujasyinamekagro Deya Deyam Jagatpatim, ethah Trigunitham jatva Yuddesh vijaishyasi/ Asmin kshane Maha Baaho Rayanam twam Vadhishyasi, Evamuktwa Agasthyo jagam yadhagatham/ Edhat shrutwa Maha Teja nashta shoka abhavat tada, Dharayamasa Suptreetho Raghava prayathtmaavan/ Adithya preksha japtwa thu pavan Harsha mayaptayaan, Thriraachamya Suchirbhuthya dhanuraadhaaya Viryayan/ Rayanam preshya hrushtatma yuddhaya samupagamat, Sarva yathnena Mahata vadhetasya dhruto bhavat/ Atha raviravnnireekshya Ramam, Muditamana paramam prahurshyamana/ Nisicharapathi Samakshyam vidhitwa, Suragana madhyo vachaswarethi/

(As Lord Shri Rama was engrossed in deep thoughts at the battle field while facing the Maha Veera Ravanaasura who was challenging Rama with provocative and thunderous laughter, even as a host of Devas on the antarisha were waiting to watch the proceedings of Rama-Ravana Battle, Maharshi Agastya addressed Rama and advised that there was a very confidential and effective Prayer which would certainly fulfill victory in the battle as follows: This Sacred Hymn 'Adithya Hridayam' dedicated to Sun God is highly propitious, extinguishes all enemies, ushers Glorious Victory and is worthy of reciting always ensuring eternal bliss. This Holy Prayer is a guarantee to achieve Prosperity; destroys sins, anxieties and wavering thoughts as also secures long life with contentment. We pray to Sun God as He has fully risen on the sky and is revered by Devas for the high splendour providing to the entire Universe. He embodies the totality of Celestial Deities and is self-radiant nourished by His own rays and heat, energising the whole world with its inhabitants including all the Objects of God's creation. He is Brahma, Vishnu, Siva, Skanda, Prajapathi, Mahendra, Kubera, Kala, Soma, and Varuna. He is Pitras, Vasus, Sadhyas, Asvini Kumars (Physicians of Gods), Marud Ganas responsible for breeze, Manu, Vayu, Agni, Prana, the Season Maker and Prabhakara, the Provider of radiance. He is the son of Aditi, Savitha, Surya, Traverser of Sky, the Energy to perform various things, the cause for rains, the One to create

shining Golden rays and the Maker of the Day. He has propitiously green horses, emits innumerable rays, rides seven horses, dispels darkness, destroys life, enables rebirth and provides unending effulgence. He is the Sourcer of Gold, imparts coolness, provides heat, causes illumination, has fire within, praised by one and all, melts off snow and enjoys sky-wide rides. He is the Lord of the Sky; Master of Rig, Yajur and Sama Vedas; causes of heavy rains, friend of water and rapid traveller over VindhyaMountains. He originates heat, causes death, provides shape to the Universe, assumes colour of gold, heats up everything, connoisseur of knowledge, loved universally, Manager of the Universe and Great Organiser. Our Salutations to Him who has Twelve Forms, is the Chief of Stars, Planets and Zodiac and the Great Illuminator. Our reverences to Him who rises from the East and sinks in the West, the Master of Jyotirganas, the Sovereign of the Days and the Lord of Objects that shines. Our veneration to Him the embodiment and basis of Victories and Eternal Rider of the memorable Green Horses, the immortal personality of Thousand Rays and the Illustrious Son of Aditi Devi. Greetings to Him, who is a terror to the Vicious, a hero to the admirers, a prompt and fast voyager of the Sky, an efficient opener of Lotus and an efficient Energiser of lives. Our worship to Brahma, Vishnu and ShIva as also Surya who is blessed with Aditi; He is ever shining, consumes everything and has a formidable form of Rudra! He destroys darkness, snow and enemies; has a huge body, devastates the ungrateful and the Lord of everything that shines. Our Salutations to Him who is yellow like molten gold, has the form of Fire, is the Creator of the World and the demolisher of ignorance; He endears one and all, and the ready witness to all! This God facilitates everything to grow and also demolishes; with His powerful rays, He generates extreme heat and also causes heavy rains! He is ever awaken and active when everybody is fast asleep without even our knowing about it; He is the Fire Sacrifice Himself and also the one who performs the Sacrifice too. All the pious tasks carried on in the Universe related to Vedas, Yagnas and Yagas are Lord Surya Himself. Hey Raghava, any one who recites this Hymn in praise of Adithya in times of danger or suffering or in wild forests, and in times of fear shall indeed cross over the problems for sure. Do worship this Lord of the Universe with single minded devotion and faith thrice and indeed the Victory shall be yours. Sri Rama, the Her of Heros, you shall annihilate the Demon Ravana in a second, thus said Sage Agasthya and left his way. On hearing this, Lord Rama became free from any sorrow and prepared Himself to execute the Prayer with utmost devotion; He cleaned Himself, did 'Achamana'thrice, lifted the bow towards Sun God and was excited with happiness to commence the Battle. He faced Rayana with the firm resolve to destroy the Demon. The Lord of the Sky Bhaskara Deva asked Raghu nandana to hurry up and destroy Ravana.

Sarga Hundred and Six

As Shri Rama was delighted as seated on Indra's Chariot encouraging Matali the celestial charioteer, there were a spate of 'asubha soochanas' for Ravana just ahead of the epic battle of Rama Ravanas

Tam āpatantam sahasā svanavantam mahādhvajam, ratham rākṣasarājasya nararājo dadarśa ha/kṛṣṇavājisamāyuktam yuktam raudreṇa varcasā, taḍitpatākāgahanam darśitendrāyudhāyudham, śaradhārā vimuñcantam dhārāsāram ivānbudam/ tam dṛṣṭvā meghasamkāśam āpatantam ratham ripoḥ, girer vajrābhimṛṣṭasya dīryataḥ sadṛśasvanam, uvāca mātalim rāmaḥ sahasrākṣasya sārathim/ mātale paśya samrabdham āpatantam ratham ripoḥ, yathāpasavyam patatā vegena mahatā punaḥ, samare hantum ātmānam tathānena kṛtā matiḥ/ tad apramādam ātiṣṭha pratyudgaccha ratham ripoḥ, vidhvamsayitum icchāmi vāyur megham ivotthitam/ aviklavam asambhrāntam avyagrahṛdayekṣaṇam, raśmisamcāraniyatam pracodaya ratham drutam/ kāmam na tvam samādheyaḥ puramdararathocitaḥ, yuyutsur aham ekāgraḥ smāraye tvām na śikṣaye/ parituṣṭaḥ sa rāmasya tena vākyena mātaliḥ, pracodayām āsa ratham surasārathisattamaḥ/ apasavyam tataḥ kurvan rāvaṇasya mahāratham, cakrotkṣiptena rajasā rāvaṇam vyavadhūnayat/ tataḥ kruddho daśagrīvas tāmravisphāritekṣaṇaḥ, rathapratimukham rāmam sāyakair avadhūnayat/ dharṣaṇāmarṣito rāmo dhairyam roṣeṇa laṅghayan, jagrāha sumahāvegam aindram yudhi śarāsanam, śarāmś ca sumahātejāḥ sūryaraśmisamaprabhān/ tad

upodham mahad yuddham anyonyavadhakānksinoh, parasparābhimukhayor drptayor iva simhayoh/ tato devāh sagandharvāh siddhāś ca paramarsayah, samīyur dvairatham drastum rāvanaksayakānksinah/ samutpetur athotpātā dāruṇā lomaharṣaṇāḥ, rāvaṇasya vināśāya rāghavasya jayāya ca/ vavarṣa rudhiram devo rāvaṇasya rathopari, vātā maṇḍalinas tīvrā apasavyam pracakramuḥ/ mahad grdhrakulam cāsva bhramamānam nabhastale, vena vena ratho vāti tena tena pradhāvati/ samdhvavā cāvṛtā lankā japāpuṣpanikāśayā, dṛśyate sampradīteva divase 'pi vasumdharā/ sanirghātā maholkāś ca sampracetur mahāsvanāh, viṣādayantyo rakṣāmsi rāvaṇasya tadāhitāh/ rāvaṇaś ca yatas tatra pracacāla vasumdharā, rakṣasām ca praharatām gṛhītā iva bāhavaḥ/ tāmrāḥ pītāḥ sitāḥ śvetāḥ patitāḥ sūryaraśmayah, drśyante rāvanasyānge parvatasyeva dhātavah/grdhrair anugatāś cāsya vamantyo jvalanam mukhaih, pranedur mukham īksantyah samrabdham aśivam śivāh/ pratikūlam vavau vāyū rane pāmsūn samutkiran, tasya rāksasarājasya kurvan dṛstivilopanam/ nipetur indrāśanayah sainye cāsya samantatah, durvisahya svanā ghorā vinā jaladharasvanam/ diśaś ca pradiśah sarvā babhūvus timirāvrtāh, pāmsuvarṣeṇa mahatā durdarśam ca nabho 'bhavat/ kurvantyaḥ kalaham ghoram sārikās tadratham prati, nipetuḥ śataśas tatra dāruṇā dāruṇasvanāḥ/ jaghanebhyaḥ sphulingāmś ca netrebhyo srūni samtatam, mumucus tasva turagās tulvam agnim ca vāri ca/ evam prakārā bahavah samutpātā' bhayāvahāḥ, rāvaṇasya vināśāya dāruṇāḥ samprajajñire/ rāmasyāpi nimittāni saumyāni ca śivāni ca, babhūvur jayaśamsīni prādurbhūtāni sarvaśaḥ/ tato nirīkṣyātmagatāni rāghavo; raņe nimittāni nimittakovidah, jagāma harsam ca parām ca nirvṛtim; cakāra yuddhe 'bhyadhikam ca vikramam/

As Ravanasura asked his ratha saarathi to return to the battle back facing Shri Rama, then the latter addressed Maatali, the Indra's charioteer and stated" 'Matali! Ravana's chariot had once again entered with tremendous enthusiasm and gusto as if hr were too anxious to get finished. But, you should proceed with self control and skillfully as I desire to destroy Ravana's chariot. Indeed you are Indra Deva's own charioteer and I do not have to advise you any way. I am thus reminding you as of now but not to teach you noe instruct you in any case'. Then Maatali was too happy at the maneer in which Shri Rama was alerting him and skillfully take the chariot in a manner Rayana's attention be drawn against Shri Rama. Then Dashamukha Ravana flipped his red looks at Rama and initiated his baana varsha. The angry Rama vet keeping his composure picked up Indra's dhanush to hand and replied Ravana's baana praharas with increased momentum. Then Devata-Siddha-Gandharva Maharshis gathered in groups ever wishing the 'loka kantaka Ravana vidhvamsha'. Then in that battle, a number of forebodings were noticed of Ravana vinaashana and Shri Rama abhydayaas. vavarsa rudhiram devo rāvanasya rathopari, vātā mandalinas tīvrā apasavyam pracakramuh/ mahad grdhrakulam cāsya bhramamānam nabhastale, yena yena ratho yāti tena pradhāvati/ samdhyayā cāvrtā lankā japāpuspanikāśayā, drśyate sampradīteva divase 'pi vasumdharā/ Clouds frm the high skies poured on Ravana's chariot, especially by the very path of its movement and groups of kites kept on hitting the Ravana radha dhwaja again and again as also the very path of the chariot's movement. sanirghātā maholkāś ca sampracetur mahāsvanāh, viṣādayantyo rakṣāmsi rāvaṇasya tadāhitāḥ/ rāvaṇaś ca yatas tatra pracacāla vasumdharā, rakṣasām ca praharatām grhītā iva bāhavaḥ/ tāmrāḥ pītāḥ sitāḥ śvetāḥ patitāḥ sūryaraśmayaḥ, drśyante rāvaṇasyāṅge parvatasyeva dhātayah/ grdhrair anugatāś cāsya yamantyo jyalanam mukhaih, pranedur mukham īkṣantyaḥ samrabdham aśivam śivāḥ/ Right ahead of Ravana radha, there were 'vajra paata dhwanis' resoundings and 'ulkapaataas' or meteor falls repeatedly. As Ravana radha chakras were moving fast, there itself there were swings of earth, and the rakshasaa's accompsnying Ravana ratha were often losing the grip holds of their weapons. As Ravana's angry looks as of agni jyaalaas kept on generating owls in swarms with screeches as of typical 'amanagala dhwanis' pratikūlam vavau vāyū raņe pāmsūn samutkiran, tasya rākṣasarājasya kurvan dṛṣṭivilopanam/ nipetur indrāśanayaḥ sainye cāsya samantataḥ, durvişahya svanā ghorā vinā jaladharasvanam/ diśaś ca pradiśaḥ sarvā babhūvus timirāvṛtāḥ, pāmsuvarṣeṇa mahatā durdarśam ca nabho 'bhavat/ On the 'rana bhumi', as Ravana's eyes were covered fully with strong dusty winds his face was frequently distorted and his looks were often impaired. He felt that he was disabled to vision the directions and sub directions and the entire sky was overcast with dust and darkness all over.Ravana's 'radhaashvaas' in their thigh portions were hurt too thus disabling their free movements. evam prakārā bahavah samutpātā bhavāvahāh, rāvanasya vināśāva

dāruṇāḥ samprajajñire/ rāmasyāpi nimittāni saumyāni ca śivāni ca, babhūvur jayaśamsīni prādurbhūtāni sarvaśaḥ/ tato nirīkṣyātmagatāni rāghavo; raṇe nimittāni nimittakovidaḥ, jagāma harṣam ca parām ca nirvṛtim; cakāra yuddhe 'bhyadhikam cha vilramam/ Thus very many 'ashubha shakunas' were countered in Ravana countering Shri Rama, while on the other hand Shri Rama was in high spirits of 'vijayaakaankshaas' and was truly pleased to attack Ravana.

Sarga Hundred and Seven

As Rama Ravana Maha Ghora Yuddha got anti climaxed as Ravana's heads sprang up again and again, but neither Shri Rama nor Ravana got tired and continued the battle overnight and the next day too

Tataḥ pravṛttam sukrūram rāmarāvaṇayos tadā, sumahad dvairatham yuddham sarvalokabhayāvaham/ tato rākṣasasainyam ca harīṇām ca mahad balam, pragṛhītapraharaṇam niśceṣṭam samatiṣṭhata/ sampravuddhau tato drstvā balavan nararāksasau, vvāksiptahrdavāh sarve param vismavam āgatāh/ nānāpraharanair vyagrair bhujair vismitabuddhayah, tasthuh preksya ca samgrāmam nābhijaghnuh parasparam/ rakşasām rāvaṇam cāpi vānarāṇām ca rāghavam, paśyatām vismitākṣāṇām sainyam citram ivābabhau/ tau tu tatra nimittāni dṛṣṭvā rāghavarāvaṇau, kṛtabuddhī sthirāmarṣau yuyudhāte abhītavat/ jetavyam iti kākutstho martavyam iti rāvanah, dhrtau svavīryasarvasvam yuddhe 'darśayatām tadā/ tatah krodhād daśagrīvah śarān samdhāya vīryavān, mumoca dhvajam uddiśya rāghavasya rathe sthitam/ te śarās tam anāsādya puramdararathadhvajam, raktaśaktim parāmṛśya nipetur dharanītale/ tato rāmo 'bhisamkruddha's cāpam āyamya vīryavān, kṛtapratikṛtam kartum manasā sampracakrame/ rāvaṇadhvajam uddiśya mumoca niśitam śaram, mahāsarpam ivāsahyam jvalantam svena tejasā/ jagāma sa mahīm bhittvā daśagrīvadhvajam śarah, sa nikṛtto 'patad bhūmau rāvaṇasya rathadhvajaḥ/ dhvajasyonmathanam dṛstvā rāvanah sumahābalah, krodhajenāgninā samkhye pradīpta iva cābhavat/ sa rosavaśam āpannah śaravarsam mahad vaman, rāmasya turagān divyāñ śarair vivyādha rāvanah/ te viddhā harayas tasya nāskhalan nāpi babhramuḥ, babhūvuḥ svasthahṛdayāḥ padmanālair ivāhatāḥ/ teṣām asambhramam dṛṣṭvā vājinām rāvaṇas tadā, bhūya eva susamkruddhaḥ śaravarṣam mumoca ha/ gadāś ca parighāms caiva cakrāni musalāni ca, girisrngāni vṛkṣāms ca tathā sūlaparasvadhān/ māyāvihitam etat tu śastravarsam apātayat, sahasraśas tato bāṇān aśrāntahṛdayodyamah tumulam trāsajananam bhīmam bhīmapratisvanam, durdharṣam abhavad yuddhe naikaśastramayam mahat/ vimucya rāghavaratham samantād vānare bale, sāyakair antariksam ca cakārāśu nirantaram, mumoca ca daśagrīvo nihsangenāntarātmanā/ vyāyacchamānam tam drstvā tatparam rāvanam rane/ prahasann iva kākutsthah saṃdadhe sāyakāñ śitān/ sa mumoca tato bānān rane śatasahasraśah, tān drstvā rāvanaś cakre svasaraih kham nirantaram/ tatas tābhyām prayuktena saravarsena bhāsvatā, sarabaddham ivābhāti dvitīyam bhāsvad ambaram/ nānimitto 'bhavad bāṇo nātibhettā na niṣphalaḥ, tathā visrjator bāṇān rāmarāvanayor mṛdhe/ prāyudhyetām avicchinnam asyantau savyadakṣiṇam, cakratus tau śaraughais tu nirucchvāsam ivāmbaram/ rāvanasya hayān rāmo hayān rāmasya rāvanah, jaghnatus tau tadānvonvam krtānukrtakārinau/ tathā vudhvamānau tu samare rāmarāvanau, dadršuh sarvabhūtāni vismitenāntarātmanā/ ardayantau tu samare tayos tau syandanottamau, parasparayadhe yuktau ghorarūpau babhūvatuḥ/ maṇḍalāni ca vīthīś ca gatapratyāgatāni ca, darśayantau bahuvidhām sūtau sārathyajām gati/ardayan rāvanam rāmo rāghavam cāpi rāvanah, gativegam samāpannau pravartana nivartane/ ksipatoh śarajālāni tayos tau syandanottamau, ceratuh saṃyugamahīm sāsārau jaladāv iva/ darśayitvā tadā tau tu gatim bahuvidhām raņe, parasparasyābhimukhau punar eva ca tasthatuḥ/dhuram dhurena rathayor vaktram vaktrena vājinām, patākāś ca patākābhih sameyuh sthitayos tadā/ rāvaņasya tato rāmo dhanurmuktaiḥ śitaiḥ śaraiḥ, caturbhiś caturo dīptān hayān pratyapasarpayat/ sa krodhavaśam āpanno hayānām apasarpane, mumoca niśitān bāṇān rāghavāya niśācarah/ so 'tividdho balavatā daśagrīveņa rāghavaḥ, jagāma na vikāram ca na cāpi vyathito 'bhavat/ cikṣepa ca punar bāṇān vajrapātasamasvanān, sārathim vajrahastasva samuddišva nišācarah/ mātales tu mahāvegāh šarīre patitāh śarāh, na sūksmam api sammoham vyathām vā pradadur yudhi/ tayā dharsanayā kroddho mātaler na tathātmanaḥ, cakāra śarajālena rāghavo vimukham ripum/ vimśatim trimśatam ṣaṣṭim śataśo 'tha sahasraśah, mumoca rāghavo vīrah sāvakān svandane ripoh/ gadānāṁ musalānāṁ ca parighānāṁ

ca nisvanaih, śarānām punkhavātaiś ca ksubhitāh saptasāgarāh/ ksubdhānām sāgarānām ca pātālatalavāsinah, vyathitāh pannagāh sarve dānavāś ca sahasraśah/cakampe medinī krtsnā saśailavanakānanā, bhāskaro niṣprabhaś cābhūn na vavau cāpi mārutah/ tato devāḥ sagandharvāḥ siddhāś ca paramarṣayaḥ, cintām āpedire sarve sakimnaramahoragāḥ/ svasti gobrāhmaṇebhyo 'stu lokās tisthantu śāśvatāh, javatām rāghavah samkhve rāvanam rāksaseśvaram/Tatah krudhaan maha bahu Raghunaam keetivardhanah, samdhaaya dhanushaa Raamah sharamaasheevisheshopamam/ Raavanasya shirochhindrachhreemujjvalitakundalam, tacchiram patitam bhumou drushtam lokastribhistadaa/ Tasyava sadrusham chaanyad ravanasyotthitam shirah, tat kshipram kshiprahastena raamena khsiprakaarinaa, dviteeyam ravana shitashcchinnam samyati saayakah/ Chhinnamaatram cha tacchhersham punareva pradrushyate, tadapyashanisakaashaishcchhannam raamasya saayakaih/Evameva shatam cchhinnam shirasaam tulyavarchasaam, nachaiva Raavansyaanto drushyate jeevitakshaye/tatah sarvāstravid vīrah kausalyānandivardhanah, mārganair bahubhir yuktaś cintayām āsa rāghavaḥ/ mārīco nihato yais tu kharo yais tu sudūṣaṇaḥ, krañcāraṇye virādhas tu kabandho dandakā vane/ ta ime sāyakāh sarve yuddhe pratyayikā mama, kim nu tat kāraṇam yena rāvane mandatejasah/ iti cintāparaś cāsīd apramattaś ca saṃyuge, vavarsa śaravarsāni rāghavo rāvanorasi/ rāvaņo 'pi tataḥ kruddho rathastho rākṣaseśvaraḥ, gadāmusalavarṣeṇa rāmam pratyardayad raṇe/ devadānavayakṣāṇām piśācoragarakṣasām, paśyatām tan mahad yuddham sarvarātram avartata/ naiva ratrim na divasam na muhūrtam na caksanam, rāmarāvanayor yuddham virāmam upagacchati/ tatah sarvāstravid vīrah kausalyānandivardhanah, mārganair bahubhir yuktaś cintayām āsa rāghayah/ mārīco nihato yais tu kharo yais tu sudūṣaṇah, krañcāraṇye virādhas tu kabandho daṇḍakā vane/ ta ime sāvakāh sarve vuddhe pratvavikā mama, kim nu tat kāranam vena rāvane mandatejasah/ iti cintāparaś cāsīd apramattas ca samyuge, vavarsa saravarsāni rāghavo rāvaņorasi/ rāvaņo 'pi tataḥ kruddho rathastho rāksaseśvarah, gadāmusalavarsena rāmam pratyardayad rane/

Then Shri Rama initiated the climactic Ravana Samhaara Maha Yuddha which baffled and puzzled samasta lokaas. Both Vaanaras and Rakshasaas were merely gazing at the 'maha sangrama' even standing still unmindful of mutual skirmishes. Rakhasas were staring at Rayana, while Vanaras fxed their looks on Shri Rama. Ramachadra was confident of Rayana Vadha as Rayana too seeking to perform his very best. Then Dashaanana with his decisiveness aimed at Rama radha dhwaja and hit with a mighty arrow but the fixed wooden base of the dhwaja got cracked yet the dhwaja was intact. In turn, Maha bali Shri Rama was enraged and lashed a 'teevra baana' as a far better 'quid pro quo' aiming at the Ravana radha dwaja which fell down straight. Ravana got terribly annoyed as Rama radha dwavajawas intact but his radha dhwaja fell down broken and with frustrated ferocity, Ravanaasura showered off a baana parampara on Rama radhaashvas but the celestial horses felt no impact nt the Ravana banaas as though of 'neela kamala prahaaraas'from the Maha Rakshasa. teṣām asambhramam dṛṣṭvā vājinām rāvaṇas tadā, bhūya eva susamkruddhah śaravarṣam mumoca ha/ gadāś ca parighāmś caiva cakrāni musalāni ca, giriśrngāni vrksāms ca tathā sūlaparasvadhān/ māvāvihitam etat tu sastravarsam apātavat, sahasrasas tato bānān aśrāntahrdayodyamah/ tumulam trāsajananam bhīmam bhīmapratisvanam, durdharsam abhayad yuddhe naikaśastramayam mahat/As Ravana having realised that the Indra Radha was not easy to destroy the dhwaja and the horses, then released baana varshas and the shastra praharana of gada-chakra-parighamusala-parvata shikhara-vriksha-shula aadi maaya nirmita aayudha paramparas, while the entire battle area was immersed with astra-shastra bhayaanaka ghoshaas.vimucya rāghavaratham samantād vānare bale, sāyakair antarikṣam ca cakārāśu nirantaram, mumoca ca daśagrīvo niḥsangenāntarātmanā/ vyāyacchamānam tam dṛṣṭvā tatparam rāvaṇam raṇe/ prahasann iva kākutsthaḥ samdadhe sāyakāñ śitān/ sa mumoca tato bānān raṇe śatasahasraśaḥ, tān dṛṣṭvā rāvaṇaś cakre svaśaraiḥ khaṁ nirantaram/ Then leaving aside the Rama Radha, Ravana kept on releasing his baana prahaaraas rather indiscriminately against the shatru sena and the entire sky was replete with Rakshasa baanaas. Shri Rama smiled at the desperation of Ravanaasura and aimed at the rakshasa with hundreds and thousands of raama baanaas. rāvaṇasya hayān rāmo hayān rāmasya rāvaṇaḥ, jaghnatus tau tadānyonyam kṛtānukṛta

kārinau/ tathā yudhyamānau tu samare rāmarāvanau, dadršuh sarvabhūtāni vismitenāntarātmanā/ Eventaully Rama and Ravana had hurt each others radhaashvaas. In this manner as both the manavarakshasa veeras were continuing their mutual war on and on the 'samaata pranis' kept on mesmerised with their mutual attacks with awe and admiration. rāvanasya tato rāmo dhanurmuktaih śitaih śaraih, caturbhiś caturo dīptān hayān pratyapasarpayat/ sa krodhavaśam āpanno hayānām apasarpane, mumoca niśitān bānān rāghavāya niśācarah/ so 'tividdho balavatā daśagrīvena rāghavah, jagāma na vikāram ca na cāpi vyathito 'bhavat/Then Shri Rama fixed up four potent arrows and hit four horses of his chariot which had soon retarded their attacking spirit and speed. Dashamukha Ravana was visibly annoyed and released rains of arrows on Rama. He further released piercing and 'vajra samaana' arrows in Matali too which hit and pained him.tayā dharṣaṇayā kroddho mātaler na tathātmanah, cakāra śarajālena rāghavo vimukham ripum/ vimśatim trimśatam sastim śataśo 'tha sahasraśah, mumoca rāghavo vīrah sāyakān syandane ripoh/ gadānām musalānām ca parighānām ca nisvanaiḥ, śarāṇām punkhavātais ca kṣubhitāḥ saptasāgarāḥ/ kṣubdhānām sāgarāṇām ca pātālatalavāsinaḥ, vyathitāḥ pannagāh sarve dānavāś ca sahasraśah/ As Ravana attacked Maatali, Shri Rama released twenties, thirties, sixties, hundreds, and several thousands of baana vrishti. But Ravana hurled off gadaas, musalaas, parighas and many such shastras. On witnessing this astonishing Maha Rama-Ravana sangrama, samudraas, pataala nivaasis, danava-naagaas besides deva-gandharva-siddhha-maharshi-kinnaraas too were breathing fast and heated up. Tatah krudhaan maha bahu Raghunaam keetivardhanah, samdhaaya dhanushaa Raamah sharamaasheevisheshopamam/Raavanasyachirochhindrachhreemujjvalitakundalam, tacchiram patitam bhumou drushtam lokastribhistadaa/Threafter, Maha baahu Ramachandra aimed his dhanush with highly poisoned 'sarpa samaana' arrows and finally succeeded in slashig off one of Dashagriva mastakaas. Then that single head of his ten heads once fallen on earth with his glittering karna kundalaas, emboldened Rama to hit with yet another similar arrow, but the in original place of the earlier head had meanwhile sprung another head with the glittering karna kundalas once again. Thus hundreds of Ravana mastakaas fell on the ground endlessly. tatah sarvāstravid vīrah kausalyānandivardhanah, mārganair bahubhir yuktaś cintayām āsa rāghavah/ mārīco nihato yais tu kharo yais tu sudūsanah, krañcāranye virādhas tu kabandho dandakā vane/ ta ime sāyakāh sarve yuddhe pratyayikā mama, kim nu tat kāraṇam yena rāvaṇe mandatejasah/ Finally, Shri Rama, the beloved son of Devi Kausalya, the sampurna aastra jnata was not only shocked but concened. He introspected that alas, his irretrivable arrows extinguished Maareecha, Khara Dushanaas, kronchavana Viraadha, Dandakaaranya Kabandha and even Vaali, how could this be that Ravanaasura the loka kantaka continued to be still alive!! iti cintāparaś cāsīd apramattaś ca samyuge, vavarşa śaravarṣāṇi rāghavo rāvaṇorasi/ rāvaṇo 'pi tataḥ kruddho rathastho rākṣaseśvaraḥ, gadāmusalavarṣeṇa rāmam pratyardayad raṇe/devadānavayakṣāṇām piśācoragarakṣasām, paśyatām tan mahad yuddham sarvarātram avartata/ naiva ratrim na divasam na muhūrtam na caksanam, rāmarāvanayor yuddham virāmam upagacchati/ Shri Rama then got readied once again the laughing off Ravana with 'parihaasa avahelana' and continued his mantrikaastra baana pravaaha yet again. Then the indignated Ravana attacked Shri Rama by hurling a spree of gada-musalaas. Then this historic Rama Rayana sangrama seemed endless as deva daanaya yaksha pishacha naaga rakshasaas kept on staring night long and yet continued to the day following too.

Sarga Hundred and Eight

As Matali reminded of the Brahmastra which Agastya Muni bestowed to Rama, he recalled its universal impact and released on Ravana as his notorious life was closed, vindicating dharma and nyaaya again.

Atha samsmārayām āsa rāghavam mātalis tadā, ajānann iva kim vīra tvam enam anuvartase/ visrjāsmai vadhāya tvam astram paitāmaham prabho, vināśakālah kathito yah suraih so 'dya vartate/ tatah samsmārito rāmas tena vākyena mātaleḥ, jagrāha sa śaram dīptam niśvasantam ivoragam/ yam asmai prathamam prādād agastyo bhagavān rsih, brahmadattam mahad bānam amogham yudhi vīryayān/ brahmanā nirmitam pūrvam indrārtham amitaujasā, dattam surapateh pūrvam trilokajayakānkṣinah/ yasya vājesu pavanaḥ phale pāvakabhāskarau, śarīram ākāśamayam gaurave merumandarau/ jājyalvamānam vapusā supunkham hemabhūsitam, tejasā sarvabhūtānām krtam bhāskaravarcasam/ sadhūmam iva kālāgnim dīptam āsīvisam yathā, rathanāgāsvavrndānām bhedanam ksiprakārinam/ dvārānām parighānām ca girīnām api bhedanam, nānārudhirasiktāngam medodigdham sudārunam/ vajrasāram mahānādam nānāsamitidārunam, sarvavitrāsanam bhīmam śvasantam iva pannagam/ kankagrdhrabalānām ca gomāyuganaraksasām,nityam bhaksapradam yuddhe yamarūpam bhayāvaham/nandanam vānarendrāṇām rakṣasām avasādanam, vājitam vividhair vājaiś cārucitrair garutmataḥ/ tam uttameṣum lokānām ikṣvākubhayanāśanam, dviṣatām kīrtiharaṇam praharṣakaram ātmanah/ abhimantrya tato rāmas taṁ mahesuṁ mahābalah, vedaproktena vidhinā saṁdadhe kārmuke balī/ sa rāvaṇāya samkruddho bhṛśam āyamya kārmukam, cikṣepa param āyattas tam śaram marmaghātinam/ sa vajra iva durdharşo vajrabāhuvisarjitaḥ, krtānta iva cāvāryo nyapatad rāvaņorasi/ sa visrsto mahāvegah śarīrāntakarah śarah, bibheda hrdayam tasya rāvanasya durātmanah/ rudhirāktah sa vegena jīvitāntakarah śarah, rāvanasya haran prānān viveša dharanītalam/ sa śaro rāvanam hatvā rudhirārdrakṛtacchaviḥ, kṛtakarmā nibhṛtavat svatūṇīm punar āviśat/ tasya hastād dhatasyāśu kārmukam tat sasāvakam, nipapāta saha prānair bhraśvamānasva jīvitāt/ gatāsur bhīmavegas tu nairrtendro mahādyutiḥ, papāta syandanād bhūmau vṛtro vajrahato yathā/ taṁ dṛṣṭvā patitaṁ bhūmau hataśeṣā niśācarāh, hatanāthā bhayatrastāh sarvatah sampradudruvuh/ nardantaś cābhipetus tān vānarā drumayodhinah, daśagrīvavadham dṛstvā vijayam rāghavasya ca/ arditā vānarair hṛstair laṅkām abhyapatan bhayāt, hatāśrayatvāt karunair bāspaprasravanair mukhaih/ tato vineduh samhrstā vānarā jitakāśinah, vadanto rāghavajayam rāvanasya ca tam vadham/ athāntarikse vyanadat saumyas tridaśadundubhih, divyagandhavahas tatra mārutah susukho vavau/ nipapātāntarikṣāc ca puṣpavṛṣṭis tadā bhuvi, kirantī rāghavaratham duravāpā manoharāh/ rāghavastavasamvuktā gagane ca viśuśruve, sādhu sādhv iti vāg agrvā devatānām mahātmanām/ āviveśa mahān harso devānām cāranaih saha, rāvaņe nihate raudre sarvalokabhayamkare/ tataḥ sakāmam sugrīvam angadam ca mahābalam, cakāra rāghavah prīto hatvā rāksasapumgavam/ tatah prajagmuh prasamam marudganā; disah prasedur vimalam nabho 'bhavat, mahī cakampe na ca mārutā vavuh; sthiraprabhas cāpy abhavad divākarah/ tatas tu sugrīvavibhīsanādayah; suhrdviśesāh sahalaksmanās tadā, sametya hrstā vijayena rāghavam; rane 'bhirāmam vidhinābhyapūjayan/ sa tu nihataripuh sthirapratijnah; svajanabalābhivrto rane rarāja, raghukulangpanandano mahaujās; tridaśagaṇair abhisamvṛto yathendrah/

Matali then addressed Shri Rama advising the Maha Purusha as follows: 'Veera Vara! You are getting truly concerned to destroy this Rakshasa truly squandering your own personal accomplishments and energies. visṛjāsmai vadhāya tvam astram paitāmaham prabho, vināśakālaḥ kathito yaḥ suraiḥ so 'dya vartate/ tataḥ samsmārito rāmas tena vākyena mātaleḥ, jagrāha sa śaram dīptam niśvasantam ivoragam/ yam asmai prathamam prādād agastyo bhagavān ṛṣiḥ, brahmadattam mahad bāṇam amogham yudhi vīryavān/ 'Prabho! Kindly be reminded of the superior most Astra of Brahma Deva with which Indra Deva utilised uprooted Danavaas.' As Matali reminded him, Shri Rama recalled that Maharshi Agastya gifted that universally outstanding astra as bestowed by Brahma Himself. In the remote past, Devendra utilised the astra to control and regulate trilokas. That Brahmastra was faster than Vayu, more intense than Agni or Surya, in its volume and weight it was as of Meru Mandaraachala partataas. It was more magnificent than that of Pancha Maha Bhutas of 'Prithivi, Aaapas, Tejas, Vaayu, Aakaashas', emerging from Surya with that kind of luminosity, ornamented with gold, along with attractive wings, with jaajjvala samaana swarupa, pralaya kaala dhuma yukta bhayankara, deeptimaana, vishadhara sarpa samaana vishayila, manushya-gajaaashva videerna and sheeghra bhedana karma aayukta. That Bramastra would smash off doors and windows, parighaadi aayudhas, parvataas besides being vajra samaana kathora, maha

shabda yukta, shatru senaa videerna kara, hissing like a maha sarpa bhayankara, once released would take the form of Yama Raja swarupa. tam uttameşum lokānām ikşvākubhayanāśanam, dvişatām kīrtiharaṇam praharşakaram ātmanah/ abhimantrya tato rāmas tam maheşum mahābalah, vedaproktena vidhinā samdadhe kārmuke balī/ tasmin sandheeya maane tu Raghavena sharottame,sarva bhutaaninsamnesus chachaala cha vasumdhara/Indeed once released, then the hazard faced by Ikshwaaku vamsha, shatru keerti apahatra, harsha vriddhikara and thus Shri Rama along with the prescribed 'vedokta yukta mantra' recitations had made the 'abhimantras', lifted up his dhanush as earth tremors were initiated. sa rāvaṇāya samkruddho bhṛśam āyamya kārmukam, cikṣepa param āyattas tam śaram marmaghātinam/ sa vajra iva durdharso vajrabāhuvisarjitah, krtānta iva cāvāryo nyapatad rāvanorasi/ sa visrsto mahāvegah śarīrāntakarah śarah, bibheda hrdayam tasya rāvanasya durātmanah/ rudhirāktah sa vegena jīvitānta karah śarah, rāvanasya haran prānān viveśa dharanītalam/ sa śaro rāvanam hatvā rudhirārdrakṛta chavih, kṛtakarmā nibhṛtavat svatūnīm punar āviśat/ Shri Rama assuming the rudra swarupa, had with all his physical strength and mental concentration, had the drawn as of 'aakarnaanta vidhi' released the marma bhedi brahmastra on Ravana. Then that irresistible mahaastra had in no time like a flash of agni iwala had hit the broad chest of the 'loka kantaka' Rayanaasura and soon pierced through his arrogant heart as his life's energy got evaporated into the 'maha vayu' to the antariksha, while his 'bhoutika shareera' remained fallen down with a reverberating thud. It was in this manner Ravana vadha was accomplished, and his blood flows gradually changed colours from red to blue. Eventually after this epic like Ravana Vadha, Shri Rama's piercing arrows returned back to his bow. tasya hastād dhatasyāśu kārmukam tat sasāyakam, nipapāta saha prāṇair bhraśyamānasya jīvitāt/ gatāsur bhīmavegas tu nairṛtendro mahādyutiḥ, papāta syandanād bhūmau vṛtro vajrahato yathā/ taṁ dṛṣṭvā patitaṁ bhūmau hataśeṣā niśācarāḥ, hatanāthā bhayatrastāḥ sarvataḥ sampradudruvuḥ/ nardantaś cābhipetus tān vānarā drumayodhinaḥ, daśagrīvavadham dṛṣṭvā vijayam rāghavasya ca/ arditā vānarair hṛṣṭair lankām abhyapatan bhayāt, hatāśrayatvāt karunair bāspaprasravanair mukhaih/ As hit by Shri Rama's brahmastra, closing the chapter of Ravanaasura since he lost the grip of his dhanush baanaas, fell down. As the bhayanaka vegashaali Rakshasa Raja became 'praana heena' that scene was like that of Vritraasura Vadha by Indra. On seeing this scene of Ravana Vadha, the nishachara swami's tragic termination confused and confounded the remnant Rakshasaas tan away directionless. But the Dashamukha Rayana Vadha vijaya shobhita Vaanara Maha Sena leapt shy high with limitless exhilaration and animation with no bounds of ecstasy. athāntarikṣe vyanadat saumyas tridaśadundubhiḥ, divyagandhavahas tatra mārutah susukho vavau/ nipapātāntariksāc ca puspavrstis tadā bhuvi, kirantī rāghavaratham duravāpā manoharāh/ rāghavastavasamyuktā gagane ca visusruve, sādhu sādhv iti vāg agryā devatānām mahātmanām/That was the time, when there were sweet choruses of Deva Devis and dundubhis while 'manda manda malayamarutas' were ushering endless blessings showered on the bhutala as sugandita pushpa varshas. From the antariksha the sweetness of the odours were all around the Indra Radha driven by Matali on which Shri Rama was seated with 'prasanna smita vadana' amused with the 'saadhu saadhu' vachanas of the celestials. tataḥ sakāmam sugrīvam angadam ca mahābalam, cakāra rāghavaḥ prīto hatvā rāksasapumgavam/ tatah prajagmuh prasamam marudganā; disah prasedur vimalam nabho 'bhavat, mahī cakampe na ca mārutā vavuh; sthiraprabhas cāpy abhavad divākarah/ tatas tu sugrīvavibhīşaṇādayaḥ; suhrdviśeṣāḥ sahalakṣmaṇās tadā, sametya hṛṣṭā vijayena rāghavam; raṇe 'bhirāmam vidhinābhyapūjayan/ As Shri Raghunaadha killed the Rakshasa Raja, Sugriva Angada Anjaneyaadi and Vibhishana were truly elated to the core. Then Devata's attained 'manasshhanti', ashta dishaadhipatis were full of contentment, the high skies were clear and cool, Prithvi was stable and peaceful and Surva Deva was steady with his ever revolving evolutions displaying the characteristic seasonal changes. Then Shri Rama having fulfilled his satya pratigja of Ravana Samhara, was pleased too like Mahendra Himself who truly vindicated 'dharma and nyaaya' on the bhutala once again!

Sarga Hundred Nine

As his elder brother Ravanaasura was killed by Shri Rama's brahmastra, Vibhishana broke down, yet Rama declared that Ravana fought like a fearless hero and advised that the antyeshta karma be done soon

Bhrataram nihatam drushta shayanam nirjitam rane, sholavegaparitatmaa vilalaapa Vibhishanah/ As paraajitha elder brother was killed on the rana bhumi, Vibhishana with hridayashoka was affected and got broken down, recalling Ravana's paraakrama, kaarya kushalata, and of fundamental and family tradition of 'dharma and neeti'. Tadidam veeya sampraaptam yanmayaa poorvameeritam, kaama moha pareetasya yat tatra ruchitam tava/ Yatra darpaat prahasto vaa nendrijinnapare janaah, na kumbhakarnoti ratho naatikaayo naraantakah, na svayam bahu manyetaathastasyodakroyamaagatah/ Veera vara! Today you have had to face this 'durdasha' as you fell into the trap of extreme infatuation and never heeded the good counselling of you well wishers. Due to your durahaankaara and the victimasation of your inflexible ego, you had totally ignored the several alerts rendered by Prahasta, nor Indrajit,, nor Atirathi Kumbhakarna, nor Atikaaya,, nor Narantaka, nor even myself were ignored and now you are indeed reaping the consequences. Kim shasamihalokaya gatasatvaasya samprati, rane raakshasa shardule prasupta ivapaamshushu/ Dhritipravaalah prasabhaagyapushpastapobalah shourya nibaddha mulh/ rane mahaan rakshasa raaja vrikshah sammadihato Raghava maarutena/ What would remain now as the raakshasa shiromani Ravana would take to permanent sleep as the 'lokaadhaara bala sampanna Mahaasura'. Indeed the Rakshasa Raja Ravana Rupi Maha Vriksha with dhairya as its leaves, pride and conceit as the fragrant flowers, tapasya or dhridha sankalpa with decisiveness as the root, (albeit with a mirage like fruit of achieving Devi Sita) was swept away today on the 'rana bhumi' by the maha prachana vaayu praghaata!' As Vibhishana was crying away in this manner, Shri Rama addressed Vibhishana: Maha Veera! Your dear elder brother Ravana was not killed as a timid 'asamartha' but had all along displayed 'prachanda paraakrama' as at each step of the 'maha samgrama' his enthusiasm and passionate fervor for vijaya kaanksha was truly unparalleled as he never ever cared for 'mrityu' but kept his dedication aloft . Naivam vinishtaah shochante khatradharma vyavasthtaah, vriddhimaashamsamaanaa ye nipatanti ranaajire/ Those heros of progressive determination following the essence of 'kshaatra dharma' fallen off, ought not be cried away with. In any battle on the universe, none ever could resort to wishful thinking of vijaya after vijaya ever repeatedly without ups and downs. *Iyam hi purvaih samdishthaa gatih khatriya* sammataa, kshatriyo nihatah samkhena na shocya iti nishchayah/ Today if Ravana has fallen thus, was on the times immemorial was pronounced as of 'uttama gati' and indeed to those fallen heros dedicated to the 'kshaatra dharma' should not be worthy of crying away as the eternal kshaatra- shastra siddhanta indeed for ever'. Having assuaged the feelings of Vibhishana, Shri Rama stated further: Tadevam nishchayam drishtaa tatvamaasthaaya vijjyarah, yadihaananataram kaaryam kappayam tadanuchintaya/ sa tasya vaakyaih karunairmahaatmaa sambhiditah saadhu vibhishanena, aagjnyaapamaasa narendrasuunuh swargaayamaadhaanamadeenasatvah/ 'Shastraanusaara nishchaya vichaara' would assert that Vibhishana should get readied to fulful the pursuant kaaryaas like the preta samskaaraadi kaaryaas.' Vibhishana then having heard the 'karunaa janaka vachanaas' of Mahatma Shri Rama, had proceeded for the antyeshta karma karana to the departed Soul of Ravanaasura.

Sarga Hundred and Ten

Having heard about and seen of the dead Ravana, the antahpura strees were heart broken crying away in general, but some sensible ones wished of Ravana's release of Sita should have reversed the swing to normalcy

Rāvaṇam nihatam śrutvā rāghaveṇa mahātmanā, antaḥpurād viniṣpetū rākṣasyaḥ śokakarśitāḥ/
vāryamāṇāḥ subahuśo vṛṣṭantyaḥ kṣitipāmsuṣu, vimuktakeśyo duḥkhārtā gāvo vatsahatā yathā/ uttareṇa
viniṣkramya dvāreṇa saha rākṣasaiḥ, praviśyāyodhanam ghoram vicinvantyo hatam patim/ āryaputreti
vādinyo hā nātheti ca sarvaśaḥ, paripetuḥ kabandhānkām mahīm śoṇitakardamām/ tā bāṣpapari pūrṇākṣyo bhartṛśokaparājitāḥ, kareṇva iva nardantyo vinedur hatayūthapāḥ/ dadṛśus tā mahākāyam
mahāvīryam mahādyutim, rāvaṇam nihatam bhūmau nīlāñjanacayopamam/ tāḥ patim sahasā dṛṣṭvā
śayānam raṇapāmsuṣu, nipetus tasya gātreṣu chinnā vanalatā iva/ bahumānāt pariṣvajya kā cid enam
ruroda ha, caranau kā cid āliṅgva kā cit kanthe 'valambya ca/ uddhrtva ca bhujau kā cid bhūmau sma

parivartate, hatasya vadanam drstvā kā cin moham upāgamat/ kā cid anke śirah krtvā ruroda mukham īkṣatī, snāpayantī mukham bāṣpais tuṣārair iva pankajam/ evam ārtāḥ patim dṛṣṭvā rāvaṇam nihatam bhuvi, cukruśur bahudhā śokād bhūyas tāḥ paryadevayan/ yena vitrāsitaḥ śakro yena vitrāsito yamaḥ, yena vaiśravano rājā puspakeņa viyojitaļ/ gandharvānām rsīnām ca surānām ca mahātmanām, bhayam yena mahad dattam so 'yam sete rane hatah/ asurebhyah surebhyo vā pannagebhyo 'pi vā tathā, na bhayam yo vijānāti tasyedam mānuṣād bhayam/ avadhyo devatānām yas tathā dānavarakṣasām, hataḥ so 'yam rane sete mānuṣeṇa padātinā/ yo na sakyaḥ surair hantum na yakṣair nāsurais tathā, so 'yam kas cid ivāsattvo mrtyum martyena lambhitah/ evam vadantyo bahudhā rurudus tasya tāh striyah, bhūya eva ca duhkhārtā vilepus ca punah punah/asrnvatā tu suhrdām satatam hitavādinām etāh samam idānīm te vayam ātmā ca pātitāḥ/ bruvāṇo 'pi hitam vākyam iṣṭo bhrātā vibhīṣaṇaḥ, dhṛṣṭam paruṣito mohāt tvayātmavadhakānksinā/ yadi niryātitā te syāt sītā rāmāya maithilī,na nah syād vyasanam ghoram idam mūlaharam mahat/ vṛttakāmo bhaved bhrātā rāmo mitrakulam bhavet, vayam cāvidhavāh sarvāh sakāmā na ca śatravah/ tvayā punar nṛśamsena sītām samrundhatā balāt, rākṣasā vayam ātmā ca trayam tulam nipātitam/ na kāmakāraḥ kāmam vā tava rākṣasapumgava, daivam ceṣṭayate sarvam hatam daivena hanyate/ vānarānām vināśo 'vam rāksasānām ca te rane, tava caiva mahābāho daivavogād upāgatah/ naivārthena na kāmena vikrameṇa na cājñayā, śakyā daivagatir loke nivartayitum udyatā/ vilepur evam dīnās tā rākṣasādhipayoṣitaḥ, kurarya iva duḥkhārtā bāṣpaparyākulekṣaṇāḥ/

As Ravanasura fell dead by Raghu Rama, the antahpura strees were truly rattled and despite the efforts of the citizens of Lankapuri yelled out as some had fallen to dust, some with haphazard and open long hairs, as though of the raucous brayings of goshaalaas, desperately shoutings away of, 'haa arya putra, haa praana naadha' Their eyes were swollen with 'karunaakrandanaas' of desperation and distress. The agitated strees were either embracing away, or holding their hands mutally, or falling away at their feet of each other. Some were taking the fallen head of their 'praana naadha' on their laps and some got swooned down my holding his hands, feet, or massaging his heart for a miraculous revival. They cried away in 'gadgada swaraas': ha! Where is our praana naadha, who had frightened away Yama Raja, or Indra who were hiding away from his angry looks! Indeed he had forcefully occupied Kubera's pushpaka vimaana, gandharva, rishi, deva ganaas had ever hidden themselves with shivering fear, but having fought with fortitude and 'dhairya sahasaas' for days together had fallen away in the samaraanga, and is resting for ever. ha! As asura-devata-naagas were truly shuddered with fright, what a tragedy had fallen by a mere 'maanava' who put to permanent rest.!' As the 'antahpura strees' kept on crying away, some of them made some sensible and prudent remarks thus: aśrnvatā tu suhrdām satatam hitavādinām, etāh samam idānīm te vayam ātmā ca pātitāh/bruvāno 'pi hitam vākyam isto bhrātā vibhīsanah, dhrstam parusito mohāt tvayātmavadhakānksinā/yadi niryātitā te syāt sītā rāmāya maithilī,na nah syād vyasanam ghoram idam mūlaharam mahat/ vṛttakāmo bhaved bhrātā rāmo mitrakulam bhavet, vayam cāvidhavāḥ sarvāh sakāmā na ca śatravah/ 'Praana naadha! If only you had heeded to the 'hitavaadi vachanaas' for the release of Sita Deva, then this ugly situation of the sad and miserable extermination of countless rakshasaas would have not occurred, nor you your self could have been saved. Thus we the antahpura strees are having to face this frightening condition. Your dear younger brother Vibhishana had counselled you in right earnestness and finally got seperated from you and now we are all seeing the sad and rather cruel consequence. If only Mithileshwari Kumari Sita were retuned back to Rama then we would not have been literally uptooted thus. Once thus vibhishana's advice were heeded, Shri Rama should have become our friend and was the antahpura strees would never have been subjected to this widowhood and this entir drama of life would tuned out as a comedy but not like this irretrievable tragedy! tvayā punar nṛśaṁsena sītām samrundhatā balāt, rākṣasā vayam ātmā ca trayam tulam nipātitam/ na kāmakāraḥ kāmam vā tava rākṣasapumgava, daivam ceṣṭayate sarvam hatam daivena hanyate/ vānarāṇām vināśo 'yam rākṣasānām ca te rane, tava caiva mahābāho daivayogād upāgatah/ naivārthena na kāmena vikramena na cājñayā, śakyā daivagatir loke nivartayitum udyatā/ vilepur evam dīnās tā rāksasādhipayositah, kurarya iva duhkhārtā bāspaparyākuleksanāh/ Now prananaadha! You remained non compromising and non conciliatory and detained Sita for months and let the rakshasaas, we the anahpura strees, and you yourself thus all the three parties down and have brought to this screeching dead end! Rakshasa Shiromani! Your

free and unfretted single misdeed had ruined us no doubt as it us amply proven the one's fate ought to decide one's own termination and our extermination too. Maha Baho! In this just concluded maha yuddha, millions of vaanaraas and rakshasas too were massacred and that too is the impact of 'daivika nirnaya'. This amply proves reiteratingly that in the samsaara, the fruits of dhana-kaamana-paraakrama-keerti pratishthas could be reversed totally by the 'daivika nirnayaas' and nothing else really.' This the antahpura strees got literally frustrated out of sorrow verging on vexation and frustration.

Sarga Hundred and Eleven

<u>Devi Mandodari having placed the dead body of Ravanaasura on her laps, kept on crying away recalling</u> his glories and her excellent marital experiences- Vibhishana performed the dahanaadi antya karmaas.

Tāsām vilapamānām tathā rākṣasayoṣitām, jyeṣṭhā patnī priyā dīnā bhartāram samudaikṣata/ daśagrīvam hatam dṛṣṭvā rāmeṇācintyakarmaṇā, patim mandodarī tatra kṛpaṇā paryadevayat/ nanu nāma mahābāho tava vaiśravanānuja, kruddhasva pramukhe sthātum trasvatv api puramdarah/rsayaś ca mahīdevā gandharvāś ca yaśasvinaḥ, nanu nāma tavodvegāc cāraṇāś ca diśo gatāḥ/ sa tvam mānuşamātreņa rāmeņa yudhi nirjitah, na vyapatrapase rājan kim idam rākṣasarṣabha/ katham trailokyam ākramya śriyā vīryena cānvitam, avisahyam jaghāna tvām mānuso vanagocarah/ mānusānām avisaye caratah kāmarūpinah, vināśas tava rāmena samyuge nopapadyate/ na caitat karma rāmasya śraddadhāmi camūmukhe, sarvataḥ samupetasya tava tenābhimarśanam/ indriyāṇi purā jitvā jitaṁ tribhuvanam tvayā, smaradbhir iva tad vairam indriyair eva nirjitah/ atha vā rāmarūpeņa vāsavah svayam āgataḥ, māyām tava vināśāya vidhāyāpratitarkitām/ yadaiva hi janasthāne rākṣasair bahubhir vṛtaḥ, kharas tava hato bhrātā tadaivāsau na mānuṣaḥ/ yadaiva nagarīm lankām duṣpraveṣām surair api, pravisto hanumān vīryāt tadaiva vyathitā vayam/ kriyatām avirodhaś ca rāghaveneti yan mayā, ucyamāno na grhnāsi tasyeyam vyustir āgatā/ akasmāc cābhikāmo 'si sītām rāksasapumgava, aiśvaryasya vināśāya dehasya svajanasya ca/ arundhatyā viśistām tām rohinyāś cāpi durmate, sītām dharşayatā mānyām tvayā hy asadrsam krtam/ na kulena na rūpeņa na dāksiņyena maithilī, mayādhikā vā tulvā vā tvam tu mohān na budhvase/ sarvathā sarvabhūtānām nāsti mrtyur alaksanah, tava tāvad ayam mrtyur maithilīkrtalaksanah/ maithilī saha rāmena viśokā viharisvati, alpapunyā tv aham ghore patitā śokasāgare/ kailāse mandare merau tathā caitrarathe vane, devodyāneşu sarveşu vihṛtya sahitā tvayā/ vimānenānurūpena yā yāmy atulayā śriyā, paśyantī vividhān deśāms tāms tāms citrasragambarā, bhramśitā kāmabhogebhyah sāsmi vīravadhāt tava/ satyavāk sa mahābhāgo devaro me yad abravīt, ayam rāksasamukhyānām vināśah paryupasthitah/kāmakrodhasamutthena vyasanena prasanginā, tvayā krtam idam sarvam anātham raksasām kulam/ na hi tvam socitavyo me prakhyātabalapaurusah, strīsvabhāvāt tu me buddhih kārunye parivartate/ sukrtam duşkrtam ca tvam grhītvā svām gatim gatah, ātmānam anuśocāmi tvadviyogena duḥkhitām/ nīlajīmūtasamkāśaḥ pītāmbaraśubhāngadaḥ, sarvagātrāni vikṣipya kim śeşe rudhirāplutah, prasupta iva śokārtām kim mām na pratibhāṣase/ mahāvīryasya dakṣasya samvugesv apalāvinah, vātudhānasva dauhitrīm kim tvam mām nābhvudīksase/ vena sūdavase śatrūn samare sūryavarcasā, vajro vajradharasyeva so 'yam te satatārcitaḥ/ raņe śatrupraharaņo hemajālaparişkrtah, parigho vyavakīrņas te bāṇaiś chinnah sahasradhā/ dhig astu hrdayam yasyā mamedam na sahasradhā, tvayi pañcatvam āpanne phalate śokapīditam/ etasminn antare rāmo vibhīsanam uvāca ha, samskārah kriyatām bhrātuh striyas caitā nivartaya/ tam prasritas tato rāmam śrutavākyo vibhīsanah, vimrśya buddhyā dharmajño dharmārthasahitam vacah, rāmasyaivānu vṛttyartham uttaram pratyabhāṣata/ tyaktadharmavratam krūram nṛśamsam anṛtam tathā, nāham arho 'smi samskartum paradārābhimarśakam/ bhrātṛrūpo hi me śatrur eṣa sarvāhite rataḥ, rāvaṇo nārhate pūjām pūjyo 'pi gurugauravat/ nṛśamṣa iti mām rāma vakṣyanti manujā bhuvi, śrutvā tasya guṇān sarve vakṣyanti sukṛtam punaḥ/ tac chrutvā paramaprīto rāmo dharmabhṛtām varaḥ, vibhīṣaṇam uvācedam vākyajño vākyakovidam/ tavāpi me priyam kāryam tvatprabhavāc ca me jitam, avasyam tu ksamam vācyo mayā tvam rāksaseśvara/ adharmānṛtasamyuktah kāmam esa niśācarah, tejasvī balavāñ śūrah samgrāmeşu ca nityaśaḥ/śatakratumukhair devaih śrūyate na parājitah, mahātmā balasampanno rāvaņo lokarāvanah/ maranāntāni vairāni nirvrttam nah pravojanam, krivatām asva samskāro mamāpy esa

yathā tava/ tvatsakāśān mahābāho samskāram vidhipūrvakam, kṣipram arhati dharmajña tvam yaśobhāg bhaviṣyasi/ rāghavasya vacaḥ śrutvā tvaramāṇo vibhīṣaṇaḥ, samskāreṇānurūpeṇa yojayām āsa rāvaṇam/ sa dadau pāvakam tasya vidhiyuktam vibhīṣaṇaḥ, tāḥ striyo 'nunayām āsa sāntvam uktvā punaḥ punaḥ/ praviṣṭāsu ca sarvāsu rākṣasīṣu vibhīṣaṇaḥ, rāmapārśvam upāgamya tadātiṣṭhad vinītavat/ rāmo 'pi saha sainyena sasugrīvaḥ salakṣmaṇaḥ, harṣam lebhe ripum hatvā yathā vṛtram śatakratuḥ/

As the 'antahpura strees' had cried off in desperation as King Ravanasura was dead down, the 'patta mahishi' or the prime queen Mandodari too was aggrieved to her core and wept addressing her dearmost husband as follows: 'Maha Baahu Rakshasa Raja! when you were angry, even Indra would get concerned and Maharshi-Gandharva- Charanas too hide themselves. Yet a mere maanava had defeated you, was this not shameful! You could as per your own volition could do what wanted, where you desired to travel, by virtue of your maya prayoga, is this not ridiculous and unbelievable that Rama as a kaala swarupa had done this to you! May be Rama a Maha Yogi but not a Sanaatana Paramatma without adi madhyaantaras, with shankha chakra gada dhari with a srivatsa emblem on his vakshsthala, whom Devi Lakshmi would reside forever! Natha! You had already succeeded supremacy on Indra. May be at the janasthaana, Rama killed several Rakshasa Veeraas including you brother Khara proving that he was not an ordinary human! When this impregnable Lankapuri, one Hanuman Vaanara had some how entered and then itself I suspected that Rama must have had swami bhaktas. And then and there I pleaded with you to get rid of this Sita but you never allowed me to nip this bud of a headache from becoming a maha vriksha of truly poisonous nature and now this is the tragic result. Rakshas Raja! Why indeed at the cost of your name and fame, posperity and peace of mind, your health and care for swajanaas that you got suddenly got infatuated with this Sita! Were you not aware that she is comparable to Devis Arundhati and Rohini as pativratas. She is a Vasudha for a Vasudha and a Shri for a Shri. Indeed you had committed a great misdemeanor of treating her despite my repeated appeals to let her free. Praana naatha! I am aware that that the sarvaanga sundari shubha lakshana Sita was in the nirjana vana nivaasa but you had suddenly decided to land her under your custody by force cuasing physical and mental torture. Doubtless that Devi's paramount tapasya mahima had burnt you off as ashes now! In fact this should have been done even earlier but for the inabilty of Indra and Agni to face you so far. Pranavallabha! There is no doubt indeed that one's own past deeds of evil be paid back. In our own household there are countless women of beauty and enticement but yout infatuation for Sita is ill justified. na kulena na rūpeņa na dākṣiṇyena maithilī, mayādhikā vā tulyā vā tvam tu mohān na budhyase/ sarvathā sarvabhūtānām nāsti mrtyur alaksanah, tava tāvad ayam mrtyur maithilīkrtalaksanah/ maithilī saha rāmena viśokā viharisyati, alpapunyā tv aham ghore patitā śokasāgare/Neither in the 'kula' the family background nor in soundarya, nor youthfulness, Sita is superior to me and why such infatuation for her! In the samsaara, every praani, mrityu is decided any way, but not due to psychic perversion! It is only this Sita whose obsession has made the gates of mrityu were opened too soon.kailāse mandare merau tathā caitrarathe vane, devodyāneşu sarveşu vihrtya sahitā tvayā/ vimānenānurūpeņa yā yāmy atulayā śriyā, paśyantī vividhān deśāms tāms tāms citrasragambarā, bhramsitā kāmabhogebhyah sāsmi vīravadhāt tava/ satyayāk sa mahābhāgo devaro me vad abrayīt, ayam rāksasamukhyānām vināsah paryupasthitah/ Veera! I had been dressed in vichitra vastras and aabharanas and very freely and joyfully I had been spenduin my life hitherto visiting Kailaasa, Mandaraachala, Meruparvata, Chaitra ratha vana, and the samasta devodyaanaas in carefree viharaas visiting desha deshas but now denied of all such bhoga bhaagyaas but for your distorted twists of misplaced passion. Maha baaho! My younger brother in law Vibhishana a truthful 'satyavaadi' and 'bhuta bhavishad vartamaana jnaata' made all out efforts to alert you of the danger signals as you had forcibly kinnapped Devi Sita suddenly and heaved long and restless sighs and having witnessed that stalwart rakshasa veeraas being sacrificed their precious lives, kept on alertig you but to no avail. kāmakrodhasamutthena vyasanena prasanginā, tvayā kṛtam idam sarvam anātham raksasām kulam/ na hi tvam śocitavyo me prakhyātabalapaurusah, strīsvabhāvāt tu me buddhih kārunye parivartate/ sukrtam duskrtam ca tvam grhītvā svām gatim gatah, ātmānam anuśocāmi tvadviyogena duḥkhitām/ Indeed our 'aishvaraya' and 'vaibhava' has since got uprooted due only owing to your own 'kamakrodhaa duraaskti vyavahaara maha dosha' and that has led to the self ruin and what is

worse the 'rakshasa kula anaadhatva'. You were famed for your 'purushardha vijayatva' of outstanding fulfillment of 'dharma-artha-kaama-mokshas' but that process of accomplishment tilted the balance entiterly due to 'Sita vivashatva'. Nonetheless, it would not behove of me to cry for you despite my stree swabhaana. You have since waged the battle as a hero and attained veera prapti doubtlessly. Nīlajīmūtasamkāśah pītāmbaraśubhāngadah, sarvagātrāni viksipya kim śese rudhirāplutah, prasupta iva śokārtām kim mām na pratibhāṣase/ mahāvīryasya dakṣasya samyugeṣv apalāyinaḥ, yātudhānasya dauhitrīm kim tvam mām nābhyudīkṣase/ yena sūdayase śatrūn samare sūryavarcasā, vajro vairadharasveva so 'vam te satatārcitah/ rane śatrupraharano hemajālapariskrtah, parigho vyavakīrnas te bānaiś chinnah sahasradhā/ dhig astu hrdayam yasyā mamedam na sahasradhā, tvayi pañcatvam āpanne phalate śokapīditam/ Praana naadha! Your body colour is like of neela megha shyaama varna draped in yellow clothes, but alas, your bidy and clothing is red due to blood spills fron your body parts. I am anguished with desperation but you are in deep sleep; why indeed, do you not relply to all my queries and questions! Rakshasa Raja, please get up,-! Do face a fresh challenging threat from Rama.! Veeravara! You have thus far on the samara bhumi had been holding a 'Surya tulya tejasvi parighaayudha'slaughtering away but Rama with his baana yarsha turned the parisha to pieces. Was due to this reason that you do not like to to talk to me, your dharma patni! Dhikkaara! Praananaadha! Even after realising that you are no more, my heart is still ticking instead of breaking into thousand pieces!' It was in this manner that Devi Mandodari kept on crying away incessantly and tirelesly. etasminn antare rāmo vibhīsanam uvāca ha, samskārah kriyatām bhrātuh striyas caitā nivartaya/ tam prasritas tato rāmam śrutavākyo vibhīşaṇah, vimṛśya buddhyā dharmajño dharmārthasahitam vacah, rāmasyaivānu vrttvartham uttaram pratyabhāsata/ tvaktadharmavratam krūram nrśamsam anrtam tathā, nāham arho 'smi samskartum paradārābhi -marśakam/ bhrātṛrūpo hi me śatrur eṣa sarvāhite rataḥ, rāvaṇo nārhate pūjām pūjyo 'pi gurugauravat/ It was just at this time when Rama asked Vibhishana to soothen the anguish of the strees and then tighten ropes around the body of Ravana to proceed futher for the dahana samskaara. Then buddhiman Vibhishana replied most politely as per dharmaadi purushardhas. 'Bhagavan ! I am indeed extremely hesitant to bypass dharma and sadaachaara and even touch the body of a 'kruranirdaya-asatyavaada- para stree sangama nishaachara' and resort to his dahana samskaara. This Ravana is a 'bhraatru rupa shatru', vet elder to me and as per 'gurujana vaakya vidhaayaka pujya jeshta bhraaraara' is of 'pitru swarupa pujya vidhaayaka'. Shri Rama! Once having heard of what I have said thus, keeping in view of his track record of blatant adharma and anyaaya, do kindly advise me as to what to do tac chrutvā paramaprīto rāmo dharmabhrtām varah, vibhīsanam uvācedam vākyajño vākyakovidam/ tavāpi me priyam kāryam tvatprabhavāc ca me jitam, avasyam tu ksamam vācyo mayā tvam rāksasesvara/ adharmānrtasamyuktah kāmam esa niśācarah, tejasvī balavāñ śūrah samgrāmesu ca nityaśah/ As Vibhishana hesitated thus Shri Rama was no doubt pleased and replied: 'Rakshasa Raja! Your associaion and constant advices were truly helpful and that was how this maha samgrama has ended successfully and your genuine dharma sandeha is truly valid. This nishachara was no doubt deeply sunk in 'adharma' and 'asatya vaada', but a 'tejasvi, balavaan and a shura veera' too. śatakratumukhair devaiḥ śrūyate na parājitah, mahātmā balasampanno rāvano lokarāvanah/ maranāntāni vairāni nirvrttam nah pravojanam, krivatām asva samskāro mamāpv esa vathā tava/ tvatsakāśān mahābāho samskāram vidhipūrvakam, kṣipram arhati dharmajña tvam yaśobhāg bhaviṣyasi/We have heard that Indraadi Devas were unable to defeat Rayana and all along has been reputed for his 'dhairya-sthairya-paraakramas' and a 'maha manasvi'. Any mahaa veera is alive till death and after that he was of no utility value, and more over he was your own brother as well as my own even and as such worthy of dahana samskara. Maha baaho Vibhishana, this is my 'dharmaanusaara vidhi purvaka daaha samskaara praapti yogyata 'should therefore lie with you. rāghavasya vacaḥ śrutvā tvaramāṇo vibhīṣaṇaḥ, saṃskāreṇānurūpeṇa yojayām āsa rāvaņam/ sa dadau pāvakam tasya vidhiyuktam vibhīşaṇaḥ, tāḥ striyo 'nunayām āsa sāntvam uktvā punaḥ punaḥ/ praviṣṭāsu ca sarvāsu rākṣasīṣu vibhīṣaṇaḥ, rāmapārśvam upāgamya tadātiṣṭhad vinītavat/ rāmo 'pi saha sainyena sasugrīvah salaksmanah, harsam lebhe ripum hatvā yathā vṛtram śatakratuh/ As Vibhishana had heard what Rama had clarified, Vibhishana initiated the 'dahana samskaara' dutifully.

Sarga Hundred and Twelve

As the joyful Celestials returned to their lokas from their sky high assembly after Rama Vijaya, Shri Rama thanked Matalii, Indra- Sugrivadi Vanaras, and celebrated Vibhishana Pattaabhisheka.

Te rāvaṇavadham dṛṣṭvā devagandharvadānavāḥ, jagmus tais tair vimānaiḥ svaiḥ kathayantaḥ śubhāḥ kathāh/ rāvaṇasya vadham ghoram rāghavasya parākramam, suyuddham vānarāṇām ca sugrīvasya ca mantritam/ anurāgam ca vīryam ca saumitrer laksmaņasya ca, kathayanto mahābhāgā jagmur hṛṣṭā vathāgatam/ rāghavas tu ratham divvam indradattam sikhiprabham, anuiñāva mahābhāgo mātalim pratyapūjayat/ rāghavenābhyanujñāto mātalih śakrasārathih, divyam tam ratham āsthāya divam evāruroha sah/tasmins tu divam ārūdhe surasārathisattame, rāghavah paramaprītah sugrīvam parisasvaje/ parisvajya ca sugrīvam laksmanenābhivāditah, pūjyamāno hariśresthair ājagāma balālayam/ abravīc ca tadā rāmah samīpaparivartinam, saumitrim sattvasampannam laksmanam dīptatejasam/ vibhīṣaṇam imam saumya lankāyām abhiṣecaya, anuraktam ca bhaktam ca mama caivopakārinam/ eşa me paramaḥ kāmo yad imam rāvaṇānujam, lankāyām saumya paśyeyam abhiṣiktam vibhīsanam/ evam uktas tu saumitrī rāghavena mahātmanā, tathetv uktvā tu samhrstah sauvarnam ghaṭam ādade/ ghaṭena tena saumitrir abhyaṣiñcad vibhīṣaṇam, laṅkāyām rakṣasām madhye rājānam rāmaśāsanāt/ abhyaṣiñcat sa dharmātmā śuddhātmānam vibhīṣaṇam, tasyāmātyā jahṛṣire bhaktā ye cāsva rāksasāh/ drstvābhisiktam lankāvām rāksasendram vibhīsanam, rāghavah paramām prītim jagāma sahalaksmanah/ sa tad rājyam mahat prāpya rāmadattam vibhīsanah, prakṛtīh sāntvayitvā ca tato rāmam upāgamat/ akṣatān modakāml lājān divyāḥ sumanasas tathā, ājahrur atha samhṛṣṭāḥ paurās tasmai niśācarāḥ/ sa tān gṛhītvā durdharṣo rāghavāya nyavedayat, maṅgalyaṁ maṅgalaṁ sarvaṁ lakṣmaṇāya ca vīryavān/ kṛtakāryaṁ samṛddhārthaṁ dṛṣṭvā rāmo vibhīṣaṇam, pratijagrāha tat sarvaṁ tasyaiva priyakāmyayā/ tatah śailopamam vīram prāñjalim pārśvatah sthitam, abravīd rāghavo vākyam hanūmantam plavamgamam/ anumānya mahārājam imam saumya vibhīsanam, praviśya rāvanagrham vinayenopasrtya ca/vaidehyā mām kuśalinam sasugrīvam salaksmanam, ācaksva jayatām śrestha rāvanam ca mayā hatam/ priyam etad udāhṛtya maithilyās tyam harīśyara, pratigrhya ca samdeśam upāvartitum arhasi/

Pursuant Rayana Vadha, Deva-Gandharaadi ganaas who assembled on the skies in groups discussed before their departure to the respective lokas, about Rama Ravana bhayankara yuddhha, Shri Rama paraakrama and Vijaya, Vaanara's invaluable contribution, Sugriva mantrana, Lakshmana Hanuman's 'bhakti vishvaasaas' and their respective 'saahasa kaaryaas', Sita paativratya mahima, and so on. Then, Shri Rama expressed his gratitude to Indra Deva for his timely help in despatching his celestial chariot and the enormous contribution of Matali especially reminding Rama of his critical moments of the brahmasrta which Agastya Muni bestowed to Rama. Dasharatha Rama then embraced Matali and gave a hearty send off. He embraced Sugriva with immense gratitude and also expressed endless thanks for the selfless, voluntary and the outstanding contribution of the Vaanara Maha Yoddhas. He had blessed Lakshmana as the latter prostrated with affectionate and everlasting devotedness. *saumitrim* sattvasampannam laksmanam dīptatejasam/ vibhīsanam imam saumva lankāvām abhisecava, anuraktam ca bhaktam ca mama caivopakāriņam/ eṣa me paramaḥ kāmo yad imam rāvaṇānujam, lankāyām saumya paśyeyam abhisiktam vibhīsanam/Then Shri Rama addressed Lakshmana: 'Soumya! How I wish now that Vibhishana's rajyaabhisheka be celebrated at once as he richly deserves my intimate affection and his 'bhakti vishvaasaas'. Now get ready with this celebration rightaway. evam uktas tu saumitrī rāghaveņa mahātmanā, tathety uktvā tu samhrstah sauvarņam ghatam ādade/ ghatena tena saumitrir abhyaşiñcad vibhīşanam, lankāyām rakṣasām madhye rājānam rāmaśāsanāt/ abhyaṣiñcat sa dharmātmā śuddhātmānam vibhīşanam, tasyāmātyā jahrsire bhaktā ye cāsya rākşasāh/ As instructed by Raghu naadha, Sumitra kumara was too soon pleased, fetched 'swarna kumbhas' filled up with samudra jalaas as readily handed over by vaanaras, and as per the recitations of 'vedokta yukta mantras' performed the grand 'Vibhishna Rajyaabhishekha mahotsava', while a huge gatherings rakshasa citizens of Lankapuri with men, women and children, besides the teaming lakhs and millions of Vanaras thronged in a 'vishaala maha sabha' instantly decorated with massive 'sugandha pushpa maalaas' on an elevated stage.

drstvābhisiktam lankāyām rāksasendram vibhīsanam, rāghavah paramām prītim jagāma sahalaksmanah/ sa tad rājyam mahat prāpya rāmadattam vibhīsanah, prakrtīh sāntvayitvā ca tato rāmam upāgamat/ akṣatān modakāmil lājān divyāḥ sumanasas tathā, ājahrur atha samhṛṣṭāḥ paurās tasmai niśācarāḥ/ As the citizens of Lankapurias also the existing and freshly appointed mantri mandali of 'atyanta dharmika buddhi' were all excited with mahotsaaha, greeting, embracing each other and gathered with eats, sweets, and drinks besides a plethora of fresh fruits, besides sugandha pushpaas. sa tān grhītvā durdharşo rāghavāya nyavedayat, mangalyam mangalam sarvam laksmanāya ca vīryavān/krtakāryam samṛddhārtham dṛṣṭvā rāmo vibhīṣaṇam, pratijagrāha tat sarvam tasyaiva priyakāmyayā/ Durdhasha parakrami Vibhishana who was exuberant with 'krita kaarya saphalataa manoratha praapti' was indeed elated had expressed his gratititude to Shri Rama Lakshmanas and gifted to them and Sugrivaadi mahaa vaanara yoddhas, appropriately. tatah śailopamam vīram prāñjalim pārśvatah sthitam, abravīd rāghavo vākyam hanūmantam plavamgamam/ anumānya mahārājam imam saumya vibhīsanam, praviśya rāvaṇagṛham vinayenopasṛtya ca/ vaidehyā mām kuśalinam sasugrīvam salakṣmaṇam, ācakṣva jayatām śrestha rāvaṇam ca mayā hatam/ priyam etad udāhṛtya maithilyās tvam harīśvara, pratigṛhya ca samdeśam upāvartitum arhasi/ Then King Vibhishana requested the Parvataakaaraa Veera Hanuman to ascertain the welfare of Mithileshwari Kumari Soubhaagyavati Devi Sita and explain to her the details of Shri Rama Vijaya and bring back the most awaited news of her welfare at once. Do also please convey to her of the most propitious news of Shri Rama's welfare and of the wellbeing of Lakshmana too with their implicit anxiety to have her pratyaksha darshana at the earliest.

Sarga Hundred and Thirteen

<u>Hanuman reached Ashoka Vaatika for Sita darshana-talked at length - she complemented him a lot yet desired not to kill the rakshasis who were after all instructed by Ravana - both proceeded to Rama.</u>

Iti pratisamādisto hanūmān mārutātmajaḥ, praviveśa purīm lankām pūjyamāno niśācaraiḥ/ praviśya tu mahātejā rāvaņasya niveśanam, dadarśa śaśinā hīnām sātankām iva rohiņīm/ nibhṛtaḥ praṇataḥ prahvaḥ so 'bhigamyābhiyādya ca, rāmasya yacanam saryam ākhyātum upacakrame/ yaidehi kuśalī rāmah sasugrīvah salakṣmaṇaḥ, kuśalam cāha siddhārtho hataśatrur arimdamaḥ/ vibhīṣaṇasahāyena rāmeṇa haribhiḥ saha, nihato rāvaṇo devi lakṣmaṇasya nayena ca/ pṛṣṭvā ca kuśalaṁ rāmo vīras tvāṁ raghunandanah, abravīt paramaprītah krtārthenāntarātmanā/ priyam ākhyāmi te devi tvām tu bhūyah sabhājaye, distyā jīvasi dharmajñe jayena mama samyuge/ labdho no vijayah sīte svasthā bhava gatavyathā, rāvanah sa hatah śatrur lankā ceyam vaśe sthitā/ mayā hy alabdhanidrena dhrtena tava nirjaye, pratijñaisā vinistīrnā baddhvā setum mahodadhau/ sambhramas ca na kartavyo vartantyā rāvaṇālaye, vibhīṣaṇavidheyam hi lankaiśvaryam idam kṛtam/ tad āśvasihi viśvastā svagrhe parivartase, ayam cābhyeti samhṛṣṭas tvaddarśanasamutsukaḥ/ evam uktā samutpatya sītā śaśinibhānanā, praharşenāvaruddhā sā vyājahāra na kim cana/ abravīc ca hariśresthah sītām apratijalpatīm, kim tvam cintayase devi kim ca mām nābhibhāsase/ evam uktā hanumatā sītā dharme vyayasthitā, abravīt paramaprītā harşagadgadayā girā/ priyam etad upaśrutya bhartur vijayasaṁśritam, praharşavaśam āpannā nirvākyāsmi kṣaṇāntaram/ na hi paśyāmi sadṛśam cintayantī plavamgama, matpriyākhyānaka syeha tava pratyabhinandanam/ na ca paśyāmi tat saumya pṛthivyām api vānara, sadṛśam matpriyākhyāne tava dātum bhavet samam/ hiranyam vā suvarnam vā ratnāni vividhāni ca, rājyam vā trisu lokesu naitad arhati bhāsitum/ evam uktas tu vaidehyā pratyuvāca plavamgamah, pragrhītāñjalir vākyam sītāyāh pramukhe sthitah/ bhartuh priyahite yukte bhartur vijayakānkṣiṇi, snigdham evamvidham vākyam tvam evārhasi bhāṣitum/ tavaitad vacanam saumye sāravat snigdham eva ca, ratnaughād vividhāc cāpi devarājyād viśiṣyate/ arthataś ca mayā prāptā devarājyādayo guṇāḥ, hataśatrum vijayinam rāmam paśyāmi yat sthitam/ imās tu khalu rākṣasyo yadi tvam anumanyase, hantum icchāmy aham sarvā yābhis tvam tarjitā purā/kliśyantīm patidevām tvām aśokavanikām gatām, ghorarūpasamācārāh krūrāh krūratareksanāh/ rāksasyo dārunakathā varam etam prayaccha me, icchāmi vividhair ghātair hantum etāḥ sudāruṇāḥ/ muṣṭibhiḥ pāṇibhiś caiva caraṇaiś caiva śobhane, ghorair jānuprahāraiś ca daśanānām ca pātanaih/ bhaksanaih karnanāsānām keśānām luñcanais tathā, bhrśam śuskamukhībhiś ca dārunair

langhanair hataih/ evamprakārair bahubhir viprakārair yaśasvini, hantum icchāmy aham devi tavemāh krtakilbisāh/ evam uktā mahumatā vaidehī janakātmajā, uvāca dharmasahitam hanūmantam vaśasvinī/ rājasamsrayavasyānām kurvatīnām parājñayā, vidheyānām ca dāsīnām kaḥ kupyed vānarottama/ bhāgyavaiṣamyayogena purā duścaritena ca, mayaitat prāpyate sarvam svakṛtam hy upabhujyate/ prāptavyam tu daśāvogān mayaitad iti niścitam, dāsīnām rāvanasyāham marsayāmīha durbalā/ājñaptā rāvaņenaitā rākṣasyo mām atarjayan, hate tasmin na kuryur hi tarjanam vānarottama/ ayam vyāghrasamīpe tu purāņo dharmasamhitah, rkṣeṇa gītaḥ śloko me tam nibodha plavamgama/ na paraḥ pāpam ādatte paresām pāpakarmanām, samavo raksitavvas tu santas cāritrabhūsanāh/ pāpānām vā subhānām vā vadhārhānām plavamgama, kāryam kārunyam āryena na kas cin nāparādhyati/ lokahimsāvihārāṇām rakṣasām kāmarūpiṇam, kurvatām api pāpāni naiva kāryam aśobhanam/ evam uktas tu hanumān sītayā vākyakovidah, pratyuvāca tatah sītām rāmapatnīm yaśasvinīm/ yuktā rāmasya bhavatī dharmapatnī yaśasvinī, pratisamdiśa mām devi gamisye yatra rāghavah/ evam uktā hanumatā vaidehī janakātmajā, abravīd drastum icchāmi bhartāram vānarottama/ tasyās tadvacanam śrutvā hanumān pavanātmajah, harsayan maithilīm vākyam uvācedam mahādyutih/pūrnacandrānanam rāmam draksyasy ärve salaksmanam, sthiramitram hatāmitram śacīva tridaśeśvaram/ tām evam uktyā rājantīm sītām sākṣād iva śriyam, ājagāma mahāvego hanūmān yatra rāghavaḥ/

As directed, Veera Hanuman entered Ashoka Vatika and found Devi Sita as surrounded by the rakshasis yet being unclean and stood quiet with veneration while she noticed his entry. After a while, Hanuman said : vaidehi kuśalī rāmah sasugrīvah salakṣmaṇah, kuśalam cāha siddhārtho hataśatrur arimdamah/ vibhīsanasahāyena rāmena haribhih saha, nihato rāvano devi laksmanasya nayena ca/prstvā ca kuśalam rāmo vīras tvām raghunandanah, abravīt paramaprītah krtārthenāntarātmanā/Devi Vaidehinandini! Shri Rama Lakshmanas are safe and happy. Having destroyed the entirety of the enemies, they are rajoycing. As Vibhishana and Sugreevaadi vaanaras too helped the victory, the cruel Ravana had been killed for ever.priyam ākhyāmi te devi tvām tu bhūyah sabhājaye, distyā jīvasi dharmajñe jayena mama samyuge/ labdho no vijayah sīte svasthā bhava gatavyathā, rāvanah sa hatah śatrur laṅkā ceyaṁ vaśe sthitā/ Dharma jnani Devi, my unique ambitious desire is to you you happy. Your pativrata prabhava was the rudimentary cause for Rama's victory and thus be happy with peace of mind. Now Lankapuri is under the control of Shri Rama. He had asked me to convey this message: mayā hy alabdhanidrena dhrtena taya nirjaye, pratijňaiṣā vinistīrṇā baddhvā setum mahodadhau/ sambhramaś ca na kartavyo vartantyā rāvanālaye, vibhīsanavidheyam hi lankaiśvaryam idam krtam/ tad āśvasihi viśvastā svagrhe parivartase, ayam cābhyeti samhrstas tvaddarśanasamutsukah/ Devi! I had made a dharma pratigjn for your release; indeed I never slept since then and mada all out efforts of extreme desperation, and having succeeded in the maha setu bandhana, was able to destroy Ravana and his dushta parivaara and here I am having fulfilled the dharma pratigina. Now you feel free fearlessly as Lankapuri's 'aishvarya' has since been donated to Vibhishana' As Hanuman conveyed Shri Rama's message to Devi Sita, she was stunned speechless and over joyed Then Hanuman exclaimed: Devi, you have yet to reply with a suitable reply to Shri Rama!' Then as her 'ananda bashpaas' overflowed replied to Hanuman in a 'gadgada vaani'or subdued tone said that she was imagining her 'swami's sundaraakara' and hence was speechless. She then addressed Hanuman: 'Vaanara Veera! as you have conveyed this truly unimaginable message from my dearest, you do most certainly deserve a very valuable and most precious gift but my misfotune is such as being not visualisable. Soumya Vaanara Veera! On this bhumandala I would not be able to perceive that could please you with any kind of gift.' As Devi Sita stated thus, Hanuman was truly overwhelmed with what the Devi stated and replied: 'Sati Sadhvi! These golden utterances of yours are far superior to the attainment of Devataa Rajyas. Now I am experiencing my 'prayojana siddhi' here and now indeed!' Then Devi Sita replied: Ati lakshana sampannam maadhryagunabhushanam,budhhyaa yuktam tvamevaarhasi bhaashitum/ Shlaaghaneeyonilasya tvam sutah parmadhaarmikah, balam shouryam shrutam sattvam vikramo daakshyagmuttamam/ Tejah khamaa dhrutih sthairyam viveetatvan sa shamshayah, ete chaanye cha bahavo gunaastvayyeva shobhanaah/ Veeravara Hanuman! Your tongue is saturated 'uttama lakshanaas' and 'maadhurya guna bhushitaas' of 'ashtaanga gunaas' merely by your 'vaani' You are the 'prashamshaneeva Vaauvu Devata Putra and Paramadhaarmika' with shareera bala, shurata, shaastra -

jnaana, maanasika bala, paraakrama, uttama dakshata, teja, kshama, dharya, sthirata, vinaya, and anya sundara gunaas, most certainly.

[Vishleshana on Ashtanga Gunaas:

Shushruusa shravana chauva grahanam dhaaranam tathaa, vuuyuupohottha vigjnaanam tatva jnaanam cha dheergunaanah/Great interest in hearing and absorbing, grahana shakti, smarana shakti, tarka vitarka, siddhika nishchaya, and ardha jnaana are the asta buddhi gunaas]

Further stanzas continued:

:

As Devi Sita remarked thus, Hanuman was delighted and replied with folded hands: imās tu khalu rākṣasyo yadi tvam anumanyase, hantum icchāmy aham sarvā yābhis tvam tarjitā purā/kliśyantīm patidevām tvām aśokavanikām gatām, ghorarūpasamācārāh krūrāh krūratarekṣaṇāh/ rākṣasyo dāruṇakathā varam etam prayaccha me, icchāmi vividhair ghātair hantum etāḥ sudāruṇāḥ/' 'Devi! If approved by you, may I pull down to death these wicked and cruel rakshasi strees who have been making your life miserable for all these months under your protection. These depraved women have been threatening to kill an 'atyanta dharma sheela pativrata maha vanita' at each hour and each day for all these painful months. How I wish to kill them all of these vikaraala-vikataakaari atyanta daaruna rakshasis and despatch them to their destined yama narakas. muṣṭibhiḥ pāṇibhiś caiva caraṇaiś caiva śobhane, ghorair jānuprahārais ca dasanānām ca pātanaih/ bhakṣaṇaiḥ karṇanāsānām kesānām luñcanais tathā, bhṛsam śuṣkamukhībhiś ca dāruṇair laṅghanair hataiḥ/evamprakārair bahubhir viprakārair yaśasvini, hantum icchāmy aham devi tavemāh krtakilbisāh/ How indeed could I heartily long tosubject these wreckless rakshasi women to mushti ghaata-vishala bhuja videerna, janghaa jaanu prahaaschana, daanta peedana, naaka karna videernata, shira mundana vanchanadi maha kaarya vikshepaas. Devi! Very kindly allow me with a mild nod of your head. evam uktā mahumatā vaidehī janakātmajā, uvāca dharmasahitam hanūmantam yaśasvinī/ rājasamśrayavaśyānām kurvatīnām parājñayā, vidheyānām ca dāsīnām kaḥ kupyed vānarottama/ bhāgyavaiṣamyayogena purā duścaritena ca, mayaitat prāpyate sarvam svakrtam hy upabhujyate/ prāptavyam tu daśāyogān mayaitad iti niścitam, dāsīnām rāvaņasyāham marṣayāmīha durbalā/ājñaptā rāvaņenaitā rākṣasyo mām atarjayan, hate tasmin na kuryur hi tarjanam vānarottama/ As Hanuman went wild with vengeance, 'karunaamaya swabhaava deena vatsala' Devi Sita introspected for a while, and replied: 'Kapi shreshtha! These miserable rakshais who no doubt harrassing me and terrorizing and to kill me ever all these hours, days and months were after all doing so under Ravana's intimidation and as such since I had been undergoing my own 'karma phala'. As my own 'purva janma janita dasha yoga' pestered me thus long, indeed that provoked Ravana dasijanas to behave accordingly and hence I would heartily feel to excuse them and let them free . Pavana Kumara! Ravanaagina was to threaten me, coerce me, and even assault me physically. But once getting aware that Ravana was no more, they have been sparing me thus apparently it was due to Rajaagjna only but not of personal vendetta. ayam yyaghrasamīpe tu purāno dharmasamhitah, rksena gītah śloko me tam nibodha playamgama/ Vaanara veera! In this very context, there is an old incident of a tiger and a bhalluka as per the following shloka as follows:na parah pāpam ādatte paresām pāpakarmanām, samayo raksitavyas tu santaś cāritrabhūṣaṇāḥ/ pāpānām vā śubhānām vā vadhārhāṇām plavamgama, kāryam kāruṇyam āryeṇa na kaś cin nāparādhyati/lokahimsāvihārānām raksasām kāmarūpinam, kurvatām api pāpāni naiva kāryam aśobhanam/ 'Shreshtha Purushas never own the sins of others but instead refrain from pay backs never seeking to take the reactionary retributions either. On the other hand, Saadhu Purushas pursue 'sadaachaara raksha' as of their own jewellery.

[Vishleshana on Hunter-Tiger-Bhalluka reference by Devi Sita to Hanuman as the latter asked her permission to destroy rakshasis threatening her for months.

'A tiger in a forest chased a hunter who ran and climbed a huge tree for protection. But a bhalluka was already there atop the maha vriksha. Down there, the tiger yelled at the bhalluka stating that although we seel to kill each other mutually but to both of us should a common enemy the hunter and as such you either kill the hunter or throw him down to me to kill me as we may share his dead body. Bur the bhalluka spared the hunter instead!']

Further stanzas as follows:

evam uktas tu hanumān sītayā vākyakovidaḥ, pratyuvāca tataḥ sītām rāmapatnīm yaśasvinīm/ yuktā rāmasya bhavatī dharmapatnī yaśasvinī, pratisamdiśa mām devi gamiṣye yatra rāghavaḥ/ As Devi Sita did not approve of Hanuman's plea to allow the whole lot of virupi rakshasis ever tormenting and threatening to kill her, Hanuman replied politely being an excellent conversationalist: Devi! Being blessed to be the dharmapatni of Shri Rama, you are this replete with such 'sadgunas' always. Now, I wish to return to Shri Rama. evam uktā hanumatā vaidehī janakātmajā, abravīd draṣṭum icchāmi bhartāram vānarottama/ tasyās tadvacanam śrutvā hanumān pavanātmajaḥ, harṣayan maithilīm vākyam uvācedam mahādyutiḥ/ pūrṇacandrānanam rāmam drakṣyasy ārye salakṣmaṇam, sthiramitram hatāmitram śacīva tridaśeśvaram/ Then Devi Sita replied 'How I wish to have bhaktavatsala Shri Rama's darshana bhagya'! tām evam uktvā rājantīm sītām sākṣād iva śriyam, ājagāma mahāvego hanūmān yatra rāghavaḥ/ As like a saakshaat Lakshmi, Devi Sita desired thus, then 'maha tejasvi Hanuman' accompanied her for Shri Rama Shubha Darshana!

Sarga Hundred and Fourteen

Hanuman accompanied Devi Sita for Shri Rama Darshana- Rama chides Vibhishana not to make a big scene, then Devi Sita sights her glorious husband after long miseries at Ravana's directives

Sa uvāca mahāprajñam abhigamva plavamgamah, rāmam vacanam arthajño varam sarvadhanusmatām/ vannimitto 'vam ārambhah karmanām ca phalodayah, tām devīm śokasamtaptām maithilīm drastum arhasi/ sā hi śokasamāviṣṭā bāṣpaparyākulekṣaṇā, maithilī vijayam śrutvā tava harṣam upāgamat/ pūrvakāt pratyayāc cāham ukto viśvastayā tayā, bhartāram drastum icchāmi krtārtham sahalaksmanam/ evam ukto hanumatā rāmo dharmabhrtām varah, agacchat sahasā dhyānam āsīd bāspapariplutah/ dīrgham usnam ca niśvasya medinīm avalokayan, uvāca meghasamkāśam vibhīsanam upasthitam/ divyāngarāgām vaidehīm divyābharanabhūsitām, iha sītām śirahsnātām upasthāpaya māciram/ evam uktas tu rāmeņa tvaramāņo vibhīṣaṇaḥ, praviśyāntaḥpuram sītām strībhiḥ svābhir acodayat/ divyāngarāgā vaidehī divyābharaṇabhūṣitā, yānam āroha bhadram te bhartā tvām draṣṭum icchati/ evam uktā tu vaidehī pratyuvāca vibhīṣaṇam, asnātā drastum icchāmi bhartāram rākṣasādhipa/tasyās tadvacanam śrutvā pratvuvāca vibhīsanah, vathāha rāmo bhartā te tat tathā kartum arhasi/ tasva tadvacanam śrutyā maithilī bhartrdevatā, bhartrbhaktivratā sādhyī tatheti pratvabhāsata/ tatah sītām śiraḥsnātām yuvatībhir alamkrtām, mahārhābharaṇopetām mahārhāmbaradhāriṇīm/ āropya śibikām dīptām parārdhyāmbarasamvṛtām, raksobhir bahubhir guptām ājahāra vibhīsanah so 'bhigamya mahātmānam jñātvābhidhyānam āsthitam, pranatas ca prahṛstas ca prāptām sītām nyavedayat/ tām āgatām upaśrutya raksogrhacirositām, harso dainyam ca rosaś ca trayam rāghavam āviśa/ tatah pārśvagatam dṛṣṭvā savimarśam vicārayan, vibhīṣaṇam idam vākyam ahṛṣṭo rāghavo 'bravīt/ rākṣasādhipate saumya nityam madvijaye rata, vaidehī samnikarṣam me śīghram samupagacchatu/ sa tadvacanam ājñāya rāghavasya vibhīşaṇaḥ, tūrṇam utsārane yatnam kārayām āsa sarvataḥ/ kañcukoṣṇīṣiṇas tatra vetrajharjharapāṇayaḥ, utsārayantaḥ puruṣāḥ samantāt paricakramuḥ/ r̥kṣāṇām vānarānām ca rāksasānām ca sarvatah, vṛndāny utsāryamānāni dūram utsasṛjus tatah/ tesām utsāryamānānām sarvesām dhvanir utthitah, vāyunodvartamānasya sāgarasyeva nisvanah/ utsāryamānāms tān drstvā samantāj jātasambhramān, dāksiņyāt tadamarsāc ca vārayām āsa rāghavah/ samrabdhaś cābravīd rāmaś caksusā pradahann iva, vibhīsanam mahāprājñam sopālambham idam

vacaḥ/ kimartham mām anādrtya krśyate 'yam tvayā janaḥ, nivartayainam udyogam jano 'yam svajano mama/ na grhāṇi na vastrāṇi na prākārās tiraskriyāḥ, nedrśā rājasatkārā vrttam āvaraṇam striyaḥ/ vyasaneṣu na krcchreṣu na yuddhe na svayamvare, na kratau no vivāhe ca darśanam duṣyate striyaḥ/ saiṣā yuddhagatā caiva krcchre mahati ca sthitā, darśane 'syā na doṣaḥ syān matsamīpe viśeṣataḥ tad ānaya samīpam me śīghram enām vibhīṣaṇa, sītā paśyatu mām eṣā suhrdgaṇavrtam sthitam/ evam uktas tu rāmeṇa savimarśo vibhīṣaṇaḥ, rāmasyopānayat sītām samnikarṣam vinītavat/tato lakṣmaṇasugrīvau hanūmāmś ca plavamgamaḥ, niśamya vākyam rāmasya babhūvur vyathitā bhrśam/ kalatranirapekṣaiś ca ingitair asya dāruṇaiḥ, aprītam iva sītāyām tarkayanti sma rāghavam/ lajjayā tv avalīyantī sveṣu gātreṣu maithilī, vibhīṣaṇenānugatā bhartāram sābhyavartata/ sā vastrasamruddhamukhī lajjayā janasamsadi, rurodāsādya bhartāram āryaputreti bhāṣiṇī/ vismayāc ca praharṣāc ca snehāc ca paridevatā, udaikṣata mukham bhartuḥ saumyam saumyatarānanā/ atha samapanudan manaḥklamam sā; suciram adṛṣṭam udīkṣya vai priyasya, vadanam uditapūrṇacandrakāntam; vimalaśaśāṅkanibhānanā tadāsīt/

As Hanuman facilitated Devi Sita for Shri Rama darshana, he addressed Rama to allow 'shoka santapta Mithileshwari Kumari darshana'. He said: 'She is crying away ceaselessly and is ever anxious to meet her'. Then Shri Rama closed his eyes with overflowins tears drawing heavy and hot breathings for long time and asked King Vibhishana to arrange for 'snaana, vastra, aabhushanas' and return. Vibhishana had himself welcomed her and conveyed Shri Rama's instrucions but Devi Sita desired to let him see her as she was in the same state. As Vibhishana had again scored 'Raamaagina', she ageed to do so. Thereafter after her reentry, Vibhishana then was seeking the onlookers to clear the way. kimartham mām anādrtya kṛśyate 'yam tvayā janaḥ, nivartayainam udyogam jano 'yam svajano mama/ na gṛhāṇi na vastrāṇi na prākārās tiraskriyāh, nedṛśā rājasatkārā vṛttam āvaraṇam striyah/ vyasaneṣu na kṛcchreṣu na yuddhe na svayamvare, na kratau no vivāhe ca darśanam duṣyate striyaḥ/ But Rama got suddenly got flared up at Vibhishana and raised his voice angrily: why are you pushing away these persons, as after all my own beloved persons. Neither a house, a dress or jewellery are significant for a woman but her conduct and mental purity should be essential to reach her husband. When there are times of obstacles and difficulties, be these be in battles, swayamvaraas, or yagjnas or weddings, strees are naturally get concerned to reach her husbands.saisā yuddhagatā caiva krechre mahati ca sthitā, darśane 'svā na dosah svān matsamīpe viśesatah/ tad ānaya samīpam me śīghram enām vibhīsaņa, sītā paśyatu mām esā suhrdgaņayrtam sthitam/ evam uktas tu rāmeņa savimarśo vibhīṣaṇaḥ, rāmasyopānayat sītām samnikarṣam vinītavat/ Indeed, Sita at this time of confusion is physically, mentally and psychologically is weakened to approach me. She has come by walk all the way from Asoka Vaatika to see me. Then Vibhishana realised the rather odd behaviour of Shri Rama at that critical moment. tato laksmanasugrīvau hanūmāms ca plavamgamah, niśamya vākyam rāmasya babhūvur vyathitā bhrśam/kalatranirapeksaiś ca ingitair asya dāruṇaiḥ, aprītam iva sītāyām tarkayanti sma rāghavam/And so did Lakshmana, Sugriva and Vibhishanaas too at the somewhat abnormal as being of Rama's 'manastatva' then. As Shri Rama's 'bhayankara cheshtas', one might even feel that his uncharacteristic mood was strange. lajjayā tv avalīvantī svesu gātresu maithilī, vibhīsanenānugatā bhartāram sābhvavartata/ sā vastrasamruddha mukhī lajjayā janasamsadi, rurodāsādya bhartāram āryaputreti bhāṣiṇī/ Slowly and slowly, then Devi Sita was getting nervous and bashful seeking to suppress her emotions of anxiety, affection and admiration of her husband and then glanced as of a dream come true. atha samapanudan manahklamam sā; suciram adrstam udīksva vai priyasva, vadanam uditapūrņacandrakāntam; vimalaśaśānkanibhānanā tadāsīt/Then Devi Sita felt shy like the stardom as distressed for long time was finally able to witness the visage of Purna Chandra as of Rama Chandra!

Sarga Hundred and Fifteen

Rama asserted that he underwent insurmountable issues to resurrect Dharma and Sita's freedom now was only incidental - as she stayed under Ravana's care for long, he would free her seeking her own comfort

Tām tu pārśve sthitām prahvām rāmah sampreksya maithilīm, hrdayāntargatakrodho vyāhartum upacakrame/ esāsi nirjitā bhadre śatrum jitvā mayā rane, paurusād yad anustheyam tad etad upapāditam/ gato 'smy antam amarşasya dharşanā sampramārjitā, avamānaś ca śatruś ca mayā yugapad uddhṛtau/ adya me pauruṣam dṛṣṭam adya me saphalah śramah, adya tīrṇapratijñatvāt prabhavāmīha cātmanah/ vā tvam virahitā nītā calacittena raksasā, daivasampādito doso mānusena mavā jitah/ samprāptam avamānam yas tejasā na pramārjati, kas tasya puruṣārtho 'sti puruṣasyālpatejasaḥ/ langhanam ca samudrasya lankāyāś cāvamardanam, saphalam tasya tac chlāghyam adya karma hanūmatah/ yuddhe yikramataś caiya hitam mantrayataś ca me, sugrīvasya sasainyasya saphalo 'dya pariśramah/ nirgunam bhrātaram tyaktvā yo mām svayam upasthitah, vibhīsanasya bhaktasya saphalo 'dya pariśramah/ ity evam bruvatas tasya sītā rāmasya tadvacah, mṛgīvotphullanayanā babhūvāśrupariplutā/ paśyatas tām tu rāmasya bhūyah krodho 'bhyavartata, prabhūtājyāvasiktasya pāvakasyeva dīpyatah/ sa baddhvā bhrukutim vaktre tiryakpreksitalocanah, abravīt parusam sītām madhye vānararakṣasām/ yat kartavyaṁ manuṣyeṇa dharṣaṇāṁ parimārjatā, tat kṛtaṁ sakalaṁ sīte śatruhastād amarsanāt/ nirjitā jīvalokasva tapasā bhāvitātmanā, agastvena durādharsā muninā daksineva dik/ viditaś cāstu bhadram te vo 'yam ranapariśramah, sa tīrnah suhrdām vīrvān na tvadartham mayā kṛtaḥ/ rakṣatā tu mayā vṛttam apavādam ca sarvaśaḥ, prakhyātasyātmavamsasya nyangam ca parimārjatā/ prāptacāritrasamdehā mama pratimukhe sthitā, dīpo netrāturasyeva pratikūlāsi me drdham/ tad gaccha hv abhyanujñātā yatestam janakātmaje, etā daśa diśo bhadre kāryam asti na me tvayā/ kah pumān hi kule jātah striyam paragrhositām, tejasvi punar ādadyāt suhṛllekhena cetasā/ rāvaņānkaparibhrastām dṛṣtām duṣṭena cakṣuṣā, katham tvām punarādadyām kulam vyapadiśan mahat/tadartham nirjitā me tvam yaśah pratyāhrtam mayā, nāsti me tvayy abhisvango yathestam gamyatām itaḥ/ iti pravyāḥṛtam bhadre mayaitat kṛtabuddhinā, lakṣmaṇe bharate vā tvam kuru buddhim yathāsukham/ sugrīve vānarendre vā rāksasendre vibhīsane, niveśaya manah sīte yathā vā sukham ātmanah/ na hi tvām rāvano dṛstvā divyarūpām manoramām, marsayate ciram sīte svagṛhe parivartinīm/ tatah priyārhaśvaranā tad apriyam; priyād upaśrutya cirasya maithilī, mumoca bāspam subhrśam pravepitā; gajendrahastābhihateva vallarī/

As Mithileshwari Kumari Sita was standing before her 'vinaya puryaka nayana'. Shri Rama addressed her as follows: 'Bhadre! I have succeeded in the samara bhumi and uprooted the enemy and got you relieved no doubt as every body have since witnessed, thus my long standing 'maanava saadhya purushartha' undoubtedly. But the 'purusha praapta apamaana' or the the doubts of commonality continue still persistently. What could 'manda buddi maanavas' could appreciate the true intent of the accomplishment of 'purushartha'! Veera Hanuman was able to cross over the hundred yojana maha samudra. Sena sahita Sugriva had truly displayed his paraakrama. Vibhishana had left off his 'durbuddhi jyeshtha bhraata' and reached me, yet all these unbelievable developments and maha karya siddhis till date had proved futile. ity evam bruvatas tasya sītā rāmasya tadvacaḥ, mṛgīvotphullanayanā babhūvāśrupariplutā/ paśyatas tām tu rāmasya bhūyah krodho 'bhyavartata, prabhūtājyāvasiktasya pāvakasyeva dīpyatah/ sa baddhvā bhrukutim vaktre tirvakpreksitalocanah, abravīt parusam sītām madhve vānararaksasām/As Shri Rama stated this in desperation and depression, mriga navani Devi Sita was disconcerted and shed tears spontaneously. She realised that her Swami Praana Vallabha was dazing shocked looking right at him seriously as his 'lokaapavaada bhaya' was looming large. Then Shri Rama stated aloud as if it were an announcement in the midst of Vaanara Rakshasaas. yat kartavyam manusyena dharsanām parimārjatā, tat kṛtam sakalam sīte śatruhastād amarsanāt/ nirjitā jīvalokasya tapasā bhāvitātmanā, agastyena durādharṣā muninā dakṣiṇeva dik/ viditaś cāstu bhadram te yo 'yam raṇapariśramah, sa tīrṇaḥ suhṛdām vīryān na tvadartham mayā krtah/ As manushyas were intimidated and bullied, I have indeed kept up their promises and the basic 'manavatva and maana raksha' by destroying the all time evil of Ravana. This was like what Maharshi Agastya saved from the fright of Vaataapi and Ilvava facing the dakshina disha. I have had laboured all along by re-establishing and reviving dharma and my endeavour of 'Sitaanveshana' was an excuse and a bye product but most certainly not the 'be all and end all!

[Visleshana on Agastya Maharshi and Daitya brothers Vaataapi and Ilvala as sourced from Matsya Purana

Agastya absorbed the entire Ocean in his Kamandulu to isolate the Danavas to enable Indra to kill the notorious Danavas and released it later as his urine and was thus stated to be salty!; he also razed down the ego of Vindhya Mountain by making him bend for ever thus banning the Mountain to stoop for ever till the Sage's return which never happened as he continued to stay down the Vindhyas. There was also the legend attributed to Agastya about the Daitya brothers Ilvala and Vatapi, who knew the Mrita Sanjeevani Mantra; they would assume the forms of Brahmanas and seek the passers by to tempt them to a feast of goat-meat, and after consuming the meal ask Vatapi to come out and Vapati would come out piercing through the tummy of the stranger and the brothers would enjoy his meat. But Agastya Muni was too clever to bless the good food saying 'Vatapi! Jeerno bhava' and Vatapi was fully digested even before Ilvala was able to recite the Mrita Sanjeevani Mantra!]

Further stanzas continued:

rakṣatā tu mayā vṛttam apavādam ca sarvaśaḥ, prakhyātasyātmavamśasya nyangam ca parimārjatā/ prāptacāritrasamdehā mama pratimukhe sthitā, dīpo netrāturasveva pratikūlāsi me dṛdham/ tad gaccha hy abhyanujñātā yatestam janakātmaje, etā daśa diśo bhadre kāryam asti na me tvayā/ kah pumān hi kule jātah striyam paragrhositām, tejasvi punar ādadyāt suhrllekhena cetasā/ Shri Rama then asserted further that he had performed all these activities most essentially for sadaachaara raksha, and most certainly for desrtoying the all-spreading 'apavaadaas' or the baseless allegations. Devi Sita! In your charitra now, there are all types of comments, but even so I have been shielding very resolutely and firmly. This indeed like the blind person is disabled to see the light and its radiance. Even so Janaka Kumari! If you wish, you may discard me and I would whole heartedly approve of your decision. Could there be a aristocratic and excellent heritage and upbringing person would accept a woman who had lived in the home of a strange person for long time! rāvaṇāṅkaparibhraṣṭāṁ dṛṣṭāṁ duṣṭena cakṣuṣā, kathaṁ tvāṁ punarādadyāṁ kulam vyapadiśan mahat/ tadartham nirjitā me tvam vaśah pratyāhrtam mayā, nāsti me tvavy abhisvango vathestam gamvatām itah/ iti pravvāhrtam bhadre mavaitat krtabuddhinā, laksmane bharate vā tvam kuru buddhim yathāsukham/ Ravanaasura had kept lifted you and placed right on his lap as you might have perhaps resented that action but still, how indeed could I accept and own yo back ever! Even if what ever reasin that I had secured you back should have been washed away back any way. But now my deep affection for you had some how been dwindled and therefore I let you free to go where you wish! Bhadre! This s my decisive and final decision. If you so wish you may be under the care of Lakshmana or Bharata comfortably. sugrīve vānarendre vā rākṣasendre vibhīṣaṇe, niveśaya manaḥ sīte yathā vā sukham ātmanah/ na hi tvām rāvaņo drstvā divyarūpām manoramām, marşayate ciram sīte svagrhe parivartinīm/ tatah priyārhaśvaraṇā tad apriyam; priyād upaśrutya cirasya maithilī, mumoca bāspam subhrśam pravepitā; gajendrahastābhihateva vallarī/ You may even be under the care of the vaanara raja Sugriva. or the rakshasa raja Vibhishana or where ever that you may feel could choose. Sita! I do regret that since Ravana got infatuated with your attractiveness and kept in his home for months would not be able to walk back to you like this. As Rama stated likewise with clarity and assertiveness, Devi Sita was broken down like an elephant which lost its very trunk!

Sarga Hundred and Sixteen

<u>Devi Sita explaining and asserting her origin of 'ayonijatva', upbringing and paativratya to Rama and the assembly of public had finally entered into the agni jwaalaas as celestials and the public witnessed.</u>

Evam uktā tu vaidehī paruṣam lomaharṣaṇam, rāghaveṇa saroṣeṇa bhṛśam pravyathitābhavat/ sā tad aśrutapūrvam hi jane mahati maithilī, śrutvā bhartṛvaco rūkṣam lajjayā vrīḍitābhavat/ praviśantīva gātrāṇi svāny eva janakātmajā, vākśalyais taiḥ saśalyeva bhṛśam aśrūṇy avartayat/ tato bāṣpa -

pariklistam pramārjantī svam ānanam, śanair gadgadayā vācā bhartāram idam abravīt/ kim mām asadrśam vākyam īdrśam śrotradārunam, rūksam śrāvayase vīra prākrtah prākrtām iva/ na tathāsmi mahābāho yathā tvam avagacchasi, pratyayam gaccha me svena cāritreņaiva te śape/ pṛthak strīṇām pracāreņa jātim tvam pariśankase, parityajemām śankām tu yadi te 'ham parīkṣitā/ yady aham gātrasamsparśam gatāsmi vivaśā prabho, kāmakāro na me tatra daivam tatrāparādhvati/ madadhīnam tu yat tan me hṛdayam tvayi vartate, parādhīneṣu gātreṣu kim kariṣyāmy anīśvarā/ sahasamvṛddhabhāvāc ca samsargena ca mānada, yady aham te na vijnātā hatā tenāsmi śāśvatam/ presitas te yadā vīro hanūmān avalokakah, laṅkāsthāhaṁ tvayā vīra kiṁ tadā na visarjitā/ pratyakṣaṁ vānarendrasya tvadvākyasamanantaram, tvayā samtyaktayā vīra tyaktam syāj jīvitam mayā/ na vrthā te śramo 'yam syāt samśaye nyasya jīvitam, suhrjjanaparikleśo na cāyam nisphalas tava/ tvayā tu naraśārdūla krodham evānuvartatā, laghuneva manusyena strītvam eva puraskṛtam/ apadeśena janakān notpattir vasudhātalāt, mama vrttam ca vrttajña bahu te na puraskrtam/ na pramāṇīkrtah pāṇir bālye bālena pīḍitaḥ, mama bhaktiś ca śīlam ca sarvam te prsthatah krtam/ evam bruvāṇā rudatī bāspagadgadabhāṣinī, abravīl lakşmanam sītā dīnam dhyānaparam sthitam/citām me kuru saumitre vyasanasyāsya bhesajam, mithyāpayādopahatā nāham jīvitum utsahe/aprītasya gunair bhartus tyaktayā janasamsadi/ yā ksamā me gatir gantum pravekşye havyavāhanam/ evam uktas tu vaidehyā lakşmaṇaḥ paravīrahā, amarṣavaśam āpanno rāghavānanam aikṣata/ sa vijñāya manaśchandam rāmasyākārasūcitam, citām cakāra saumitrir mate rāmasya vīryavān/ adhomukham tato rāmam śanaih kṛtvā pradaksinam, upāsarpata vaidehī dīpyamānam hutāśanam/ pranamya devatābhyaś ca brāhmanebhyaś ca maithilī, baddhāñjaliputā cedam uvācāgnisamīpatah/ yathā me hṛdayam nityam nāpasarpati rāghavā, tathā lokasya sāksī mām sarvatah pātu pāvakaļ/ evam uktvā tu vaidehī parikramya hutāśanam, viveśa jvalanam dīptam niḥsangenāntarātmanā/ janaḥ sa sumahāms tatra bālavrddhasamākulaḥ, dadarśa maithilīm tatra praviśantīm hutāśanam/ tasyām agnim viśantyām tu hāheti vipulah svanah, raksasām vānarānām ca sambabhūvādbhutopamah/

At once terrified and humiliated in public by Rama, Devi Sita sat crumbled with unremitting tears and said: 'Veera! It is indeed unbecoming of a person of yout stature to announce in the open pubic such 'karna kathora- anuchita- rushta vachanas' as to a severely and irrevocably fallen woman of my upbringing and status. Maha Baaho! I am not such a woman as you feel and treat me in public. Kindly keep trust in me as I would take a pledge in the name of 'sadaachaara' and 'parama pavitrata' and am indeed never trustworthy. As you consider me among the lowest ranking woman do please never allow your lowest thoughts. Prabho! As my body and that of Ravana did touch each other only due to my accidental helplessness but never as of volion and of my fate. Maha Raja! you had instruced Hanuman to bring me before you, and why did you not ignore me at that very time I would have decided to make my praana tyaaga then and there itself. But I had been accosted me specially for this public humiliation. tvayā tu naraśārdūla krodham evānuvartatā, laghuneva manuşyena strītvam eva puraskṛtam/apadeśena janakān notpattir vasudhātalāt, mama vṛttam ca vṛttajña bahu te na puraskṛtam/ na pramāṇīkṛtaḥ pāṇir bālve bālena pīditah, mama bhaktis ca sīlam ca sarvam te prsthatah krtam/ Nripa shreshtha! Why indeed you are disconcerted like a fired up person despite your nature of equanimity and criticising my debased demeanour as of a fallen lowly woman. You are saturated with the pluses and minuses of sadaachaara marmas! As I was given birth to Janaka Raja's yagina bhumi and hence named Jaanaki! In fact Janaka was not my actual father born to him literally as I was 'bhu prakatita' as as such not of naturally born but of celestial origin called 'Ayonija'. Like wise my background of Vidya and upbringing was also never known to the ordinary but I never made it public as of wonen of inferiority complex. I was married off even as of an early teen ager without even being aware of its implications. I had never even made these facts to the public sans bravado and complex of either superiority or inferioity! Having thus given vent to some basics of her origin and of celestial characteristics, Devi Sita requested Lakshmana as a 'baashpa gadgada bhaashini' as follows: citām me kuru saumitre vyasanasyāsya bhesajam, mithyāpavādopahatā nāham jīvitum utsahe/ aprītasya gunair bhartus tyaktayā janasamsadi/ yā ksamā me gatir gantum pravekşye havyavāhanam/ evam uktas tu vaidehyā lakşmaṇaḥ paravīrahā, amarşavaśam āpanno rāghavānanam aiksata/ Sumitra nandana! Can you please prepare a 'chita' of agni for me as the remedy

for my distress to clean up 'midhya kalanka' as I am no longer be able to alive any further. My Life Master is unhappy with my 'guna pravritti' and declared so publicly and in this condition it should ne proper for me to resort to 'agni pravesha'. Then Lakshmana looked at Shri Rama as Devi Sita was unable to bear her slur any further.sa vijñāya manaśchandam rāmasyākārasūcitam, citām cakāra saumitrir mate rāmasya vīryavān/ adhomukham tato rāmam śanaih krtvā pradaksinam, upāsarpata vaidehī dīpyamānam hutāśanam/ pranamya devatābhyaś ca brāhmanebhyaś ca maithilī, baddhāñjaliputā cedam uvācāgnisamīpatah/Well realising Rama's mind, Lakshmana then prepared the 'chita' as Shri Rama stood still beside the agni jwaalaas like Dharma Yama Raja in his well preparedness to sacrifice a praani with his head down as Devi Sita faced the ruthlessness of the flames. She then prayed to Devata Maharshis and also to the viprottamaas nearby and declared as follows: yathā me hṛdayam nityam nāpasarpati rāghavā, tathā lokasya sāksī mām sarvatah pātu pāvakah/ Karmanaa manasaa vaachaa yathaa naaticharaamyaham/ Be it known that if my hearty attachment to Shri Rama were to be truthful then Agni Deva should liberate me to safety. If my charitra is transparent and clean as Rama would doubt, then Agni Deva be kind for my safety. In case my mind, utteringsand deeds are pure and blemishless, and beyond the suspicion of Rama then may Agni Deva sustain me to safety. evam uktvā tu vaidehī parikramya hutāśanam, viveśa jvalanam dīptam niḥsangenāntarātmanā/janaḥ sa sumahāms tatra bālavrddhasamākulaḥ, dadarśa maithilīm tatra praviśantīm hutāśanam/ tasyām agnim viśantyām tu hāheti vipulah svanah, raksasām vānarānām ca sambabhūvādbhutopamah/ So stating Devi Sita jumped into the flames. As she did so, the children and the elderly witnessed the proceedings. Rishi Devata Gandharvaadis too were able to vision the scene and so did Samasta Rakshasa Vaanaraas raised 'hahakaaraas and artanadaas' sky high.

Sarga Hundred and Seventeen

As Devi Sita entered 'agni jvaalaas' set by Lakshmana with Rama's implicit awareness, sarva deva mandali headed by Brahma praised Rama as of Vishnu avatara and Sita as Maha Lakshmi

Tato vaiśravano rājā vamaś cāmitrakarśanah, sahasrākso mahendraś ca varunaś ca paramtapah/ şadardhanayanah śrīmān mahādevo vṛṣadhvajah, kartā sarvasya lokasya brahmā brahmavidām varah/ ete sarve samāgamya vimānaiḥ sūryasamnibhaiḥ, āgamya nagarīm lankām abhijagmuś ca rāghavam/ tatah sahastābharanān pragrhya vipulān bhujān, abruvams tridasasresthāh prāñjalim rāghavam sthitam/ kartā sarvasya lokasya śrestho jñānavatām varah, upeksase katham sītām patantīm havyavāhane, katham devaganaśrestham ātmānam nāvabudhyase/rtadhāmā vasuh pūrvam vasūnām ca prajāpatih, tvam trayānām hi lokānām ādikartā svayamprabhuh/rudrānām astamo rudrah sādhyānām api pañcamah, aśvinau cāpi te karnau candrasūryau ca cakṣuṣī/ ante cādau ca lokānām dṛśyase tvam paramtapa, upekṣase ca vaidehīm mānuṣaḥ prākṛto yathā/ ity ukto lokapālais taiḥ svāmī lokasya rāghavaḥ, abravīt tridaśaśresthān rāmo dharmabhrtām varah/ ātmānam mānuşam manye rāmam daśarathātmajam, yo 'ham yasya yatas cāham bhagayāms tad brayītu me/ iti bruyānam kākutstham brahmā brahmayidām varah, abravīc chrnu me rāma satvam satvaparākrama/ bhavān nārāvano devah śrīmām's cakrāvudho vibhuḥ, ekaśṛṅgo varāhas tvaṁ bhūtabhavyasapatnajit/ akṣaraṁ brahmasatyaṁ ca madhye cānte ca rāghava, lokānām tvam paro dharmo visvaksenas caturbhujah/ sārngadhanvā hrsīkesah purusah purusottamah, ajitah khadgadhṛg visnuh kṛṣnaś caiva bṛhadbalah senānīr gṛāmanīś ca tvam buddhih sattvam ksamā damah, prabhavaś cāpyayaś ca tvam upendro madhusūdanah/ indrakarmā mahendras tvam padmanābho raṇāntakṛt, śaraṇyam śaraṇam ca tvām āhur divyā maharṣayah/ sahasraśṛṅgo vedātmā satajihvo maharşabhaḥ, tvam yajñas tvam vaṣaṭkāras tvam omkāraḥ paramtapa/ prabhavam nidhanam vā te na viduḥ ko bhavān iti, dṛśyase sarvabhūteṣu brāhmaṇeṣu ca goṣu ca/ dikṣu sarvāsu gagane parvateşu vaneşu ca, sahasracaranah śrīmāñ śataśīrṣah sahasradhṛk tvam dhārayasi bhūtāni vasudhām ca saparvatām, ante pṛthivyāh salile dṛśyase tvam mahoragah/ trīml lokān dhārayan rāma devagandharvadānavān, aham te hṛdayam rāma jihvā devī sarasvatī/ devā gātresu lomāni nirmitā brahmaṇā prabho, nimeṣas te 'bhavad rātrir unmeṣas te 'bhavad divā/ saṃskārās te 'bhavan vedā na tad asti tvavā vinā, jagat sarvam sarīram te sthairvam te vasudhātalam/ agnih kopah prasādas te somah

śrīvatsalakṣaṇa, tvayā lokās trayaḥ krāntāḥ purāṇe vikramais tribhiḥ/mahendraś ca krto rājā balim baddhvā mahāsuram, sītā lakṣmīr bhavān viṣṇur devaḥ kṛṣṇaḥ prajāpatiḥ/ vadhārtham rāvaṇasyeha praviṣṭo mānuṣīm tanum, tad idam naḥ kṛtam kāryam tvayā dharmabhṛtām vara/ nihato rāvaṇo rāma prahṛṣṭo divam ākrama, amogham balavīryam te amoghas te parākramaḥ/ amoghās te bhaviṣyanti bhaktimantaś ca ye narāḥ, ye tvām devam dhruvam bhaktāḥ purāṇam puruṣottamam, ye narāḥ kīrtayiṣyanti nāsti teṣām parābhavaḥ/

Dharmatma Shri Rama was stunned in silence as Devi Sita entered the flames against the background of 'haahaakaaraas' of the public as witnessed by the Celetials too. Then Vishraavaputra Yaksha Kubera, Yama Dharma Raja accompanied by Pitru Denatas, Deva Raja Indra, Jalaadhipati Varuna Deva and Trinetradhaari Vrishabhadwaja Maha Deva, and Jagadsrashta Brahma landed on Lankapuri. Shri Rama then prostrated to them all and addressed Shri Rama as follows: kartā sarvasya lokasya śreṣṭho jñānavatām varaḥ, upekṣase katham sītām patantīm havyavāhane, katham devagaṇaśreṣṭham ātmānam nāvabudhyase/ ṛtadhāmā vasuḥ pūrvam vasūnām ca prajāpatiḥ, tvam trayāṇām hi lokānām ādikartā svayamprabhuḥ/ rudrāṇām aṣṭamo rudraḥ sādhyānām api pañcamaḥ, aśvinau cāpi te karṇau candrasūryau ca cakṣuṣī/ Shri Rama! You are the 'sampurna vishvotpaadaka, jnaana shreshtha and sarva vyaapaka', yet how are you allowing Devi Sita to jump into flames. Being Bhagavan Vishnu himself, this is rather incomprehensive to us all! Several yugas ago, you were the Vasu Prajapati Rutadhaama Vasu was your self as the Loka Karta yourself. You were the swarupas of Ashta Vasus,Ekaadasha Rudras,Saadhaka Devataas, and Ashvini Kumaraas. 'Shatru santaapa karta Shri Rama! how is this that you being the 'Shrishtyaadi Madhyamaantaka' are behaving like an ordinary human being in respect of Devi Sita!

[Vishleshana of Ashta Vasus, Ekaadasha Rudras, Saadhaka Devataas, and Ashvini Kumaraas.

Ashtaa Vasus were Aapa, Dhruva, Soma, Dhara, Anila, Anala, Pratyusha and Prabhaasa. Ekaadasha Rudras were. Mahan, Mahatma, Mariman, Bhishana, Ritudhwaja, Urthvakesha, Pingalaaksha, Rucha Shuchi and Kaalaagni. Twelve Saadhta Devataas were. Anumanta, Praana, Nara, Veeryayaan, Chiti, Haha, Naya, Hamsa, Naraayana, Prabhava and Vibhu and two Ashviki Kumaraas the celestial physicians were Naasatya and Dashnna. (Also refer to Essence of Valmiki Sundara Kaanda Sarga Twenty Three)]

Further stanzas to follow:

ātmānam mānusam manye rāmam daśarathātmajam, yo 'ham yasya yataś cāham bhagavāms tad bravītu me/iti bruvāṇam kākutstham brahmā brahmavidām varaḥ, abravīc chṛṇu me rāma satyam satyaparākrama/ Shri Rama then greeted the Devaas and replied with veneration: 'Deva ganaas! I do conduct my self as the Dasharatha Kumara Putra only. I am what I am, what is my human birth and is subject to human tendencies of emotions and features there of"! Then Brahma himself replied as follows: 'Satya paraakrami Shri Raghu veera, do kindly bear with me and listen to me: bhavān nārāyaṇo devaḥ śrīmāmś cakrāyudho vibhuḥ, ekaśṛṅgo varāhas tvam bhūtabhavyasapatnajit/ akṣaram brahmasatyam ca madhye cānte ca rāghava, lokānām tvam paro dharmo visvaksenas caturbhujah/ sārngadhanvā hṛsīkesah purusah purusottamah, ajitah khadgadhrg visnuh kṛṣnaś caiva bṛhadbalah You are the Chakradhaari Shriman Narayana who was the Varaaha Deva who had uplifted Bhu Devi and as such the Adi Deva who should devastate Deva Shatrus. Raghu nandana! You are the avinaashi Parabrahma of srishtiyaadimadhya-anta Satya Swarupa Vidyaamaan. You are the sarva loka parama dharma being the Vishvaksena, Chaturbhuja Dhaari Shri Hari. You are the Shaarnga dhanva, Hrishikesha, Antaryaami Purusha, and Purushottama. You are ajeya the invincible; you are the andaka naama khadga dhara Vishnu and Krishna. senānīr grāmanīś ca tvam buddhih sattvam ksamā damah, prabhavaš cāpyayaš ca tvam upendro madhusūdanah/ indrakarmā mahendras tvam padmanābho ranāntakṛt, śaranyam śaranam ca tvām āhur divyā maharşayaḥ/ sahasraśṛṅgo vedātmā śatajihvo maharşabhaḥ, tvaṁ yajñas tvaṁ vaṣaṭkāras tvam omkārah paramtapa/You are the Devasenapati, go raksha mukya. You are buddhi-satva-khama-indra

nigrah and srishti-pralaya kaarana, Vamana Deva and Madhusudana. You are the Indrotpanaa Mahendra and the yuddhanta shanta swarupa Padmanaabha, Divya Maharshi gana sharana daata and sharanaagata vatsala. You are the sahastra shaakharupa simha, sahasra vidhi vaakya rupa veda rupa Maha Vrishabha. You are the Siddhi Saadhyaasharaya Maha Purvaja. Yagjna, Vashatkaara, Aumkaara swarupa, and the Maha Shreshtaa Paramatma. prabhavam nidhanam vā te na viduḥ ko bhavān iti, dṛśyase sarvabhūteṣu brāhmaṇeṣu ca goṣu ca/ dikṣu sarvāsu gagane parvateṣu vaneṣu ca, sahasracaraṇaḥ śrīmāñ śataśīrṣaḥ sahasradhṛk/ tvam dhārayasi bhūtāni vasudhām ca saparvatām, ante pṛthivyāḥ salile dṛśyase tvam mahoragaḥ/ trīml lokān dhārayan rāma devagandharvadānavān, aham te hṛdayam rāma jihvā devī sarasvatī/ Shri Rama! None indeed would have the ability of your 'aavirbhaava-tirobhava' and as to who are you, since you are present in samasta praanis, cows, brahmanaas and yet invisible. It is your magnificence that is reflected in all the ashta dishas, the skies, parvataas, rivers with thousands of feet, mastakaas and netras.

[Brief Vihleshana on select Purusha Sukta's select stanzas :

Sahasra Sirsha Purshah Sahasraakshah Sahasra paat, Sa Bhubim Vishvato Vritwaa Atyatishthaddashaagulam/ Bhagawan/ Maha Purusha who has countless heads, eyes and feet is omnipresent but looks compressed as a ten-inch measured Entity! Purusha ye Vedagum sarvam yadbhutam yaccha bhavyam, Utaamritatwa--syeshaanah yadanney naa ti rohati/ He is and was always present submerging the past and the future and is indestrucible and far beyond the ephemeral Universe etaavaa nasya Mahimaa Atojjyaaya -gumscha Puurushah, Paadosya Vishwa Bhutaani Tripaadasya -amritam Divi/ What ever is visualised in the Creation is indeed a minute fraction of His magnificence and what ever is compehensible is but a quarter of the Eternal Unknown. Tripaadurdhwa Udait Purushaha Paadosyehaa bhavaatpunah, Tato Vishvan -gvyakraamat saashanaa nashaney abhi/ (Three-fourths of the Unknown apart, one fourth emerged as the Universe and the Maha Purusha is manifested across the Totality of the Beings including the animate and inanimate worlds. Tasmaadwiraadajaayata ViraajoAdhi Puurushah, Sa jaato Atyarichyata paschaadbhumimatho purah/ From out of that Adi Purusha, the Brahmanda came into Existence and Brahma spread himself all over and became Omni Present. Then He created Earth and Life to Praanis.]

Further stanzas continued:

You are the reflection of samasta praanis, prithivi, parvataa, jalaas and the shesha naaga. Shri Rama! You are the trilokas, the davaas, gandharva, daanava dharana Virat purush a Naryana. devā gātresu lomāni nirmitā brahmaṇā prabho, nimeṣas te 'bhavad rātrir unmeṣas te 'bhavad divā/ saṃskārās te 'bhavan vedā na tad asti tvayā vinā, jagat sarvam śarīram te sthairyam te vasudhātalam/ agniḥ kopaḥ prasādas te somah śrīvatsalakṣaṇa, tvayā lokās trayaḥ krāntāḥ purāṇe vikramais tribhiḥ/ mahendraś ca krto rājā balim baddhvā mahāsuram, sītā laksmīr bhavān visnur devah krsnah prajāpatih/ Prabho! Whaever shrishti that you as Brahma along with devatas are hut your body hairs and so is the steadiness of Prithvi. Agni is your anger, and Chandra is your prasannata or your pleasantness. It is you who shows Shri Vatsa Chihnaa. In the Vamanaavataara, you had divided the universe as trilokaas. In that very Vamanavataara, you made Indra as the King of Swarga Loka. Devi Sita is saakshaat Devi Lakshmi herself as you are saakshaat Vishnu your self. You too are Krishna and the Prajapati too. vadhārtham rāvanasyeha pravisto mānuṣīm tanum, tad idam naḥ kṛtam kāryam tvayā dharmabhṛtām vara/ nihato rāvaṇo rāma prahṛṣṭo divam ākrama, amogham balavīryam te amoghas te parākramah/ amoghās te bhavisyanti bhaktimantas ca ye narāḥ, ye tvām devam dhruvam bhaktāḥ purāṇam puruṣottamam, ye narāḥ kīrtayiṣyanti nāsti teṣām parābhavah/ Dharmatma Raghu Veera! You desired to demolish Ravana and thus have taken to Maanava Janma and have since facilitated our task of Dharmoddharana. Shri Rama, your darshana bhagya is unprecedented on this bhutala'. That was how Brahma made his 'atihaasika stotra paatha'

Sarga Hundred and Eighteen

Reacting to Brahma's declarations, Agni Deva emerged in public view and presented Devi Sita asserting her purity even being in Ravana's 'antahpura' for long as Rama desired to test her so to convince public.

Etac chrutvā śubham vākyam pitāmahasamīritam, ankenādāya vaidehīm utpapāta vibhāvasuh/ taruṇādityasamkāśām taptakāñcanabhūṣaṇām, raktāmbaradharām bālām nīlakuñcitamūrdhajām/ aklistamālyābharaṇām tathā rūpām manasvinīm, dadau rāmāya vaidehīm anke kṛtvā vibhāvasuḥ/ abravīc ca tadā rāmam sākṣī lokasya pāvakaḥ, eṣā te rāma vaidehī pāpam asyā na vidyate/ naiva vācā na manasā nānudhyānān na caksusā, suvrttā vrttasaundīrā na tvām aticacāra ha/ rāvanenāpanītaisā vīryotsiktena raksasā, tvayā virahitā dīnā vivaśā nirjanād vanāt/ruddhā cāntahpure guptā tvakcittā tvatparāyanā, raksitā rāksasī samghair vikrtair ghoradarsanaih/ pralobhyamānā vividham bhartsyamānā ca maithilī, nācintayata tad raksas tvadgatenāntarātmanā/ viśuddhabhāvām nispāpām pratigrhnīsva rāghava, na kim cid abhidhātavyam aham ājñāpayāmi te/ evam ukto mahātejā dhṛtimān dṛḍhavikramaḥ, abravīt tridaśaśreṣṭham rāmo dharmabhrtām varah/ avaśyam triṣu lokeṣu sītā pāvanam arhati,dīrghakālositā ceyam rāvanāntahpure śubhā/ bāliśah khalu kāmātmā rāmo daśarathātmajah, vakşyanti mām santo jānakīm aviśodhya hi/ananyahrdayām bhaktām maccittaparirakṣaṇīm, aham apy avagacchāmi maithilīm janakātmajām/ pratyayārtham tu lokānām trayāṇām satyasamsrayah, upekṣe cāpi vaidehīm praviśantīm hutāśanam/ imām api viśālāksīm raksitām svena tejasā, rāvano nātivarteta velām iva mahodadhih/ na hi śaktah sa dustātmā manasāpi hi maithilīm, pradharsayitum aprāptām dīptām agniśikhām iva/ neyam arhati caiśvaryam rāvaṇāntaḥpure śubhā, ananyā hi mayā sītām bhāskareṇa prabhā yathā/ viśuddhā triṣu lokeṣu maithilī janakātmajā, na hi hātum iyam śakyā kīrtir ātmavatā vathā/ avaśvam ca mavā kārvam sarvesām vo vaco hitam, snigdhānām lokamānvānām evam ca bruvatām hitam/ itīdam uktvā vacanam mahābalaiḥ; praśasyamānaḥ svakṛtena karmaṇā, sametya rāmaḥ priyayā mahābalah; sukham sukhārho 'nubabhūva rāghavah/

As per Brahma Deva's 'mahattara vakyas' Agni Deva as Devi Sita's pitru swarupa, placed her on his lap and made his appearance as she stood up instantly like arunodaya Bhaskara as dressed and worn with a radiant and ver fresk 'raktaambara vastra' and handed over to Shri Rama. The Loka saakshi Agni Deva stated: abravīc ca tadā rāmam sāksī lokasva pāvakah, esā te rāma vaidehī pāpam asvā na vidyate/ naiva vācā na manasā nānudhyānān na cakṣuṣā, suvṛttā vṛttaśauṇḍīrā na tvām aticacāra ha/ rāvaṇenāpanī taisā vīryotsiktena raksasā, tvayā virahitā dīnā vivaśā nirjanād vanāt/ ruddhā cāntahpure guptā tvakcittā tvatparāyanā, raksitā rāksasī samghair vikrtair ghoradarśanaih/ pralobhyamānā vividham bhartsyamānā ca maithilī, nācintayata tad raksas tvadgatenāntarātmanā/ viśuddhabhāvām nispāpām pratigrhnīsva rāghava, na kim cid abhidhātavyam aham ājñāpayāmi te/Shri Rama! This dharma patni of yours, Vaideha Raja Kumari Devi Sita who has no blemish and even remote sinfulness. Uttama Shubha Lakshana Yukta Sati is dedicated to you by 'manas-vaani-buddhi' and netraas too and this sadaachara paraayani is ever worshipful to you. This outstanding stree when forcefully kidnapped by that arrogant Rayana with his bala paraakramaas in your absence she was helpless no doubt but were never yielding out of fear but was indeed well composed. Ravana brought her and imprisoned her with security around as the bhayanaka Rakshasis yet with ever steady mindedness, supreme faith and unparalleled devotion for you had suffered the worst manner but was trully dedicated to you never even in dreams of reality thought of yielding. Therafter, endless measures of coercion, intimidation and of offers of attractiv temptations were applied by Ravana but he had always received hopeless rejections. Devi Sita's conduct was pure, sinless and ever of shining heart like that of oft-molten gold. Shri Rama! Do accept her now and for ever. You may even consider this request as my considered instruction'. As having asserted thus, Shri Rama had politely as follows: 'Bhagavan, I had acted in this heartless manner to let the commonality trust my rigorous test about Janaka nandini's purity as they might tend to carry way the normal tendency that she lived for long in Ravana's antahpura. Am I not aware that both me and Devi Sita are inseparable being dedicated to each other by 'manasaa-vaachaa- karmanaa-and dharmanaa too. That was how, Sita too was never hesitant being ever ready to jump into your fierce flames, Agni Deva! Janaki is parama pavitra in trilokaas!' As Shri Rama emphasized like wise, Agni Deva blessed both the couple and disappeared.

Sarga Hundred and Ninteen

Maha Deva complemented Rama and pointed out at Dasharadha's Soul from Swarga as the latter blessed Rama stating that he redeemed his soul as Ashtavakra did to his father and assured Kingship with glory.

Etac chrutvā śubham vākyam rāghaveņa subhāṣitam, idam śubhataram vākyam vyājahāra maheśvarah/ puşkarākşa mahābāho mahāvakşah paramtapa, distyā kṛtam idam karma tvayā śastrabhṛtām vara/ distyā sarvasya lokasya pravrddham dārunam tamah, apāvrttam tvayā samkhye rāma rāvanajam bhayam/ āśvāsya bharatam dīnam kausalyām ca yaśasvinīm, kaikeyīm ca sumitrām ca drstvā laksmanamātaram/ prāpya rājyam ayodhyāyām nandayitvā suhrjjanam, iksvākūnām kule vamsam sthāpayitvā mahābala/ istvā turagamedhena prāpya cānuttamam yaśah, brāhmanebhyo dhanam dattvā tridivam gantum arhasi/ eşa rājā vimānasthah pitā daśarathas tava, kākutstha mānuṣe loke gurus tava mahāyaśāh/ indralokam gataḥ śrīmāms tvayā putreṇa tāritaḥ, lakṣmaṇena saha bhrātrā tvam enam abhivādaya/ mahādevavacaḥ śrutyā kākutsthah sahalaksmanah, yimānaśikharasthasya pranāmam akarot pituh/ dīpyamānam svayām lakṣmyā virajo 'mbaradhāriṇam, lakṣmaṇena saha bhrātrā dadarśa pitaram prabhuḥ/ harṣena mahatāvisto vimānastho mahīpatih, prāṇaih priyataram dṛṣṭvā putram daśarathas tadā/ āropyānkam mahābāhur varāsanagatah prabhuh, bāhubhyām samparisvajya tato vākyam samādade/ na me svargo bahumatah sammānas ca surarsibhih, tvayā rāma vihīnasya satyam pratisrnomi te/ kaikeyyā yāni coktāni vākyāni vadatām vara, tava pravrājanārthāni sthitāni hṛdaye mama/ tvām tu dṛṣṭvā kuśalinam pariṣvajya salaksmanam, adya duhkhād vimukto 'smi nīhārād iya bhāskarah/ tārito 'ham tyayā putra suputrena mahātmanā, astāvakrena dharmātmā tārito brāhmano yathā/ idānīm ca vijānāmi yathā saumya sureśvaraih, vadhārtham rāvanasyeha vihitam purusottamam/ siddhārthā khalu kausalyā yā tvām rāma grham gatam, vanān nivrttam samhrstā draksvate satrusūdana/ siddhārthāh khalu te rāma narā ye tvām purīm gatam, jalārdram abhisiktam ca draksyanti vasudhādhipam/ anuraktena balinā śucinā dharmacārinā, iccheyam tvām aham drastum bharatena samāgatam/ caturdaśasamāh saumya vane niryāpitās tvayā, vasatā sītayā sārdham laksmaņena ca dhīmatā/ nivṛttavanavāso 'si pratijñā saphalā krtā, rāvanam ca rane hatvā devās te paritositāh/ krtam karma vasah slāghvam prāptam te satrusūdana, bhrātrbhih saha rājvastho dīrgham āvur avāpnuhi/ iti bruvānam rājānam rāmah prāñjalir abravīt, kuru prasādam dharmajna kaikeyyā bharatasya ca/ saputrām tvām tyajāmīti yad uktā kaikayī tvayā, sa śāpaḥ kaikayīm ghorah saputrām na sprśet prabho/ sa tatheti mahārājo rāmam uktvā krtāñjalim, laksmanam ca parisvajya punar vākyam uvāca ha/ rāmam śuśrūsatā bhaktyā vaidehyā saha sītayā, krtā mama mahāprītih prāptam dharmaphalam ca te/ dharmam prāpsyasi dharmajña yaśaś ca vipulam bhuvi, rāme prasanne svargam ca mahimānam tathaiva ca/ rāmam śuśrūsa bhadram te sumitrānandavardhana, rāmaḥ sarvasya lokasya śubheṣv abhirataḥ sadā/ ete sendrās trayo lokāḥ siddhāś ca paramarṣayaḥ, abhigamya mahātmānam arcanti puruşottamam/ etat tad uktam avyaktam akşaram brahmanirmitam, devānām hṛdayam saumya guhyam rāmah paramtapah/ avāptam dharmacaraṇam yaśaś ca vipulam tvayā, rāmam śuśrūsatā bhaktyā vaidehvā saha sītayā/ sa tathoktyā mahābāhur laksmanam prāñjalim sthitam, uvāca rājā dharmātmā vaidehīm vacanam subham/ kartavvo na tu vaidehi manyus tvāgam imam prati, rāmeņa tvadvišuddhyartham krtam etad dhitaiṣiṇā/ na tvam subhru samādheyā patišuśrūvaṇam prati, avaśyam tu mayā vācyam esa te daivatam param/ iti pratisamādiśya putrau sītām tathā snusām, indralokam vimānena yayau daśaratho jvalan/

As Shri Rama addressed Agni Deva as above that only to ensure public awareness that he ageed to let Devi Sita to offer to sgni jwaalaas, Maha Deva was impressed, pleased and addressed Shri Rama to state that now that the fright of Ravana was rid off it should be time for returning to Ayodhya to assuage the feelings of the grief and gloom of Bharata Shatrughnas, Devis Kousalya-Sumitra and Kaikeyis, accomplish back the Kingship, make Ayodhya public elated, strengthen the stronghold of Ikshvaaku Vamsha, gladden Brahmanas with dhana dhanyas, and thus vindicate dharma and fortify praja paripaalana. He further alerted Shri Rama that he should vision King Dasharatha as seated in a vimaana from Indra loka blessing Sita-Rama-Lakshmanas as the latter had respectfully prostrated to the Maha

Rathi Dasharatha. Then the latter asserted that without Rama not being with him, he was truly feeling that the swarga sukhas were truly futile. Dasharatha asserted that having most dutifully and successfully attained, Rama's return to Ayodhya as its rightful King should vindiacate his heroism. He further stated that that was the very moment to see Rama Sita Lakshmanas with pride and their respective glories. He recalled the inhuman statements made by Devi Kaikeyi still piercing in his heart. Dasharatha further stresed: *tārito 'ham tvayā putra suputreṇa mahātmanā, aṣṭāvakreṇa dharmātmā tārito brāhmaṇo yathā/* My dearmost son! You have redeemed me in my post death life like Ashtavakra had in the case of his father Kahola brahmana'

[Vishleshana on Ashtavarka and his father Kahola: Maharshi Aruni taught Vedas as highlighted in Chaandogya Upanishad in his ashram. Kahoda was one of his students, along with Aruni's daughter Sujata. Aruni's daughter married Kahoda. She got pregnant, and during her pregnancy, the male child heard the chanting of the Vedas by his father and corrected the recitation as the father got angry and cursed him as eight deformities of the and was thus named as 'Ashtavakra. Maharshi Ashtavakra was the author of Ashtavakra Samhita underlining human nature and essence individual freedom vis a vis the Supreme Reality and their mutual interaction the Self and the Supreme. He undersored Atmajnaaa as Almighty Brahman enters each and every Being from Brahma to a piece of grass as the Antaratma or the Self- Conscience. The easiest yet the most difficult question ever is Kah ayam atmaa or which is that Self worship worthy! The reply would be the Antaratma or the Inner Consciousness: the expressions such as 'Saminaanam' or the emotive sentience being the state of consciousness, 'viginaanam' or worldly awareness or knowledge, 'praginaanam' or instant mental responsiveness, 'medha' or brain power and retention capacity, 'drishti' or discernment and perception through senses, 'mathih' or capacity to think pros and cons, 'manisha' or mastertminded skill of planning, 'juutih' or capacity of forbearance, smriti or memory power, 'sankalpa' or ability to initiate and decide, 'kratuh' or tenacity and dedication, 'asuh' or calculated sustenance, 'kaamah' or craving obsession all ending up in 'Vashah' or forceful possession; all these are rolled into one word viz. Conscience or the super imposition of the totality of senses viz. speech, vision, touch, taste and generation. It is indeed that kind of ascent of self consciousness that submerges karta-karma-kriya into Brahman, once mortals attain at least of intervals of Immortality

Further stanzas as followed: Siddhārthā khalu kausalyā yā tvām rāma gṛham gatam, vanān nivṛttam samhrstā draksyate satrusūdana/ siddhārthāh khalu te rāma narā ye tvām purīm gatam, jalārdram abhiṣiktam ca drakṣyanti vasudhādhipam/ Shri Rama! Devi Kousalya's 'jeevana saardhaka' would now be truly fulfilled as her proud 'veera putra' would reteturn with 'keetri pratishtaas'. Likewise the public of Ayodhya should be exhilerated to vision you as the King. Dharmatma Bharata is a pavitra murti and would display his supressed emotions with genuine devotional affection. Soumya! I am now relieved too that after fourteen years of hard life with exemplary and ever memorable self control you as the symbol of endurance and bravery has demolished Ravana the representation of cruelty, arrogance and selfishness.krtam karma vasah slāghvam prāptam te satrusūdana, bhrātrbhih saha rājvastho dīrgham āyur avāpnuhi/ dharmam prāpsyasi dharmajña yaśaś ca vipulam bhuvi, rāme prasanne svargam ca mahimānam tathaiva ca/ rāmam śuśrūṣa bhadram te sumitrānandavardhana, rāmaḥ sarvasya lokasya śubhesv abhiratah sadā/ Shatrusudana Shri Rama, you have indeed accomplished each and every action of yours most perfectly and assiduously as richly deserving ever memory worth motives, steps, actions and with positive end results. Dharmagina! In the times ahead in the far future too you are blessed with dharma phala prapti with everlastong glory on the bhumandala the karma bhumi. Laksmana! May you be blessed for your nirantara seva with pure mind, action and unparalleled swami bhakti. kartavyo na tu vaidehi manyus tyāgam imam prati, rāmeņa tvadviśuddhyartham kṛtam etad dhitaiṣiṇā/ na tvam subhru samādheyā patiśuśrūvaṇam prati, avaśyam tu mayā vācyam eṣa te daivatam param/ iti pratisamādiśya putrau sītām tathā snusām, indralokam vimānena yayau daśaratho jvalan/ Dear daughter Devi Janaki! As Rama asked you to get lost, you ought not to be in your remote thoughts get either disturbed or anguished as indeed you are an icon of endurance and of exemplary paativratya as being listed universally as a maha pativrata! Thus blessing them all, Dasharatha alighted his vimana back to swarga loka.

Sarga Hundred and Twenty

As Rama requested to Indra to revive the lives of countless dead vaanara-bhallukaas at the yuddhha, the latter having realised that it was unprecedented yet granted as dead ones came alive as from deep sleep!

Pratiprayāte kākutsthe mahendraḥ pākaśāsanaḥ, abravīt paramaprīto rāghavam prāñjalim sthitam/ amogham darśanam rāma tavāsmākam paramtapa, prītiyukto 'smi tena tvam brūhi yan manasecchasi/ evam uktas tu kākutsthah pratyuvāca krtāñjalih, laksmanena saha bhrātrā sītayā cāpi bhāryayā/ yadi prītiḥ samutpannā mayi sarvasureśvara, vakṣyāmi kuru me satyam vacanam vadatām vara/ mama hetoḥ parākrāntā ve gatā yamasādanam, te sarve jīvitam prāpya samuttisthantu vānarāh/ matpriyesv abhiraktāś ca na mṛtyum ganayanti ca, tvatprasādāt sameyus te varam etad aham vṛne/ nīrujān nirvraņāms caiva sampannabalapauruṣān, golāngūlāms tathaivarkṣān draṣṭum icchāmi mānada/ akāle cāpi mukhvāni mūlāni ca phalāni ca, nadvas ca vimalās tatra tisthevur vatra vānarāh/srutvā tu vacanam tasva rāghavasva mahātmanah, mahendrah pratyuvācedam vacanam prītilaksanam/ mahān avam varas tāta tvayokto raghunandana, samutthāsyanti harayah suptā nidrākṣaye yathā/ suhrdbhir bāndhavaiś caiva jñātibhiḥ svajanena ca, sarva eva sameṣyanti samyuktāḥ parayā mudā/ akāle puṣpaśabalāḥ phalavantaś ca pādapāh, bhavisyanti mahesvāsa nadyaś ca salilāyutāh/ savranaih prathamam gātraih samvrtair nivranaih punah, babhūvur vānarāh sarve kim etad iti vismitah/kākutstham paripūrnārtham dṛṣṭvā sarve surottamāḥ, ūcus te prathamam stutvā stavārham sahalaksmaṇam/ gacchāyodhyām ito vīra visarjava ca vānarān, maithilīm sāntvavasvainām anuraktām tapasvinīm/ bhrātaram pasva bharatam tvacchokād vratacāriṇam, abhiṣecaya cātmānam paurān gatvā praharṣaya/ evam uktvā tam āmantrya rāmam saumitrinā saha, vimānaih sūryasamkāśair hrstā jagmuh surā divam/ abhivādya ca kākutsthah sarvāms tāms tridasottamān, laksmanena saha bhrātrā vāsam ājñāpayat tadā/ tatas tu sā laksmanarāmapālitā; mahācamūr hrstajanā vašasvinī, śrivā įvalantī virarāja sarvato; nišāpranīteva hi śītaraśminā/

As the Soul of his dear father from Swarga Loka, as enabled the Soul to be visioned by Indra Deva Shri Rama with his folded hands requested Indra as follows: mama hetoh parākrāntā ye gatā yamasādanam, te sarve jīvitam prāpya samuttisthantu vānarāh/ matpriyesv abhiraktās ca na mṛtyum gaṇayanti ca, tvatprasādāt samevus te varam etad aham vrne/ nīrujān nirvranām's caiva sampannabalapaurusān, golāngūlāms tathaivarksān drastum icchāmi mānada/ akāle cāpi mukhyāni mūlāni ca phalāni ca, nadyaś ca vimalās tatra tistheyur vatra vānarāh/ 'Mahendra! Those vaanaraas who had left off even their 'stree santaanas' and sacrificed their lives of youthfulness in the sangrama as have been killed and reached yama loka be revived to life again. Rama pleaded that merely for his sake such vaanaraas never cared for death and made all out efforts just make me win and destroy 'adharma and anyaaya'. Deva raja, you do always consider and encourage such qualities of bravery as all such vaanara ballukaas who were never ailing yet full of youthfulness and self confidence and fought with heroism for a cause. They never cared for hunger or thirst or rest or sleep bur were happy with eating roots and fruits and drinking river or stream waters'. As Rama pleaded with veneration, Indra replied: Raghuvamsha bhushana! What all you have asked for and pleaded is truly too much and had never happened in the past involving countless deaths. Yet your request of sincerity and pure heartedness might not be ignored either. May those vaanara bhalluka veeraas whose heads were fallen or hands and shoulders were severed by rakshasaas may get up revived with life again, like as if they had strong and deep sleep with neither truncated bodies nor any kind of weaknesses of body and mind with their renewed vigor and enthusiasm. They should all be with paramaananda to meet and gather their kith and kin. savranaih prathamam gātraih samvṛtair nivraṇaih punaḥ, babhūvur vānarāḥ sarve kim etad iti vismitaḥ/ kākutstham paripūrṇārtham dṛṣṭvā sarve surottamāh, ūcus te prathamam stutvā stavārham sahalaksmanam/ As Indra Deva stated thus, all the fallen vanaara bhallukaas had indeed were awaken and stood up with neither a scar nor any weakness but with further gusto, Rama along with Lakshmana was excited as the revived ones showered praises for this miracle while Indra Deva asked Rama as to when would he would wish to return to Ayodhya with Maithili Lakshmanas!

.

Sarga Hundred and Twenty One

Vibhishana requested Shri Rama to stay back for a few days and enjoy his hospitality, but Rama displayed his anxiety to return the soonest as he was yearning to return to Ayodhya

Tām rātrim usitam rāmam sukhotthitam arimdamam, abravīt prānjalir vākyam jayam prstvā vibhīsanah/ snānāni cāṅgarāgāni vastrāny ābharanāni ca, candanāni ca divyāni mālyāni vividhāni ca/ alamkāravidas cemā nāryah padmanibheksanāh, upasthitās tvām vidhivat snāpayisyanti rāghava/ evam uktas tu kākutsthah pratyuvāca vibhīsanam, harīn sugrīvamukhyāms tvam snānenopanimantraya/ sa tu tāmyati dharmātmā mamahetoḥ sukhocitaḥ, sukumāro mahābāhuḥ kumāraḥ satyasaṁśravaḥ/ taṁ vinā kaikeyīputram bharatam dharmacāriṇam, na me snānam bahumatam vastrāny ābharaṇāni ca/ita eva pathā ksipram pratigacchāma tām purīm, avodhvām āvato hv esa panthāh paramadurgamah/ evam uktas tu kākutstham pratyuvāca vibhīşaṇaḥ, ahnā tvām prāpayiṣyāmi tām purīm pārthivātmaja/ puṣpakam nāma bhadram te vimānam sūryasamnibham, mama bhrātuh kuberasya rāvaņenāhṛtam balāt/ tad idam meghasamkāśam vimānam iha tisthati, tena vāsvasi vānena tvam ayodhyām gajajvarah/ aham te vady anugrāhyo yadi smarasi me gunān, vasa tāvad iha prājña yady asti mayi sauhrdam laksmanena saha bhrātrā vaidehyā cāpi bhāryayā, arcitaḥ sarvakāmais tvam tato rāma gamişyasi/ prītiyuktas tu me rāma sasainyah sasuhrdganah, satkriyām vihitām tāvad grhāna tvam mayodyatām/ pranayād bahumānāc ca sauhrdena ca rāghava, prasādayāmi presyo 'ham na khalv ājñāpayāmi te/ evam uktas tato rāmaḥ pratyuvāca vibhīṣaṇam, rakṣasām vānarāṇām ca sarveṣām copaśṛṇvatām/ pūjito 'ham tvayā vīra sācivyena paramtapa, sarvātmanā ca cestibhih sauhrdenottamena ca/ na khalv etan na kuryām te vacanam rāksaseśvara, tam tu me bhrātaram drastum bharatam tvarate manah/ mām nivartayitum yo 'sau citrakūtam upāgatah, śirasā yācato yasya vacanam na kṛtam mayā/ kausalyām ca sumitrām ca kaikeyīm ca yaśasvinīm, gurūms ca suhrdas caiva paurāms ca tanayaiḥ saha/ upasthāpaya me kṣipram vimānam rāksaseśvara, krtakārvasva me vāsah katham cid iha sammatah/ anujānīhi mām saumva pūjito 'smi vibhīsana, manvur na khalu kartavvas tvaritas tvānumānave/ tatah kāñcanacitrāngam vaidūryamaņivedikam, kūṭāgāraiḥ parikṣiptam sarvato rajataprabham/ pāṇḍurābhiḥ patākābhir dhvajaiś ca samalamkrtam, śobhitam kāñcanair harmyair hemapadmayibhūsitam/ prakīrnam kinkinījālair muktāmanigavāksitam, ghantājālaih pariksiptam sarvato madhurasvanam/tan meruśikharākāram nirmitam viśvakarmanā, bahubhir bhūsitam harmyair muktārajatasamnibhau/ talaih sphatikacitrāngair vaidūryais ca varāsanaih, mahārhāstaranopetair upapannam mahādhanaih/ upasthitam anādhṛsyam tad vimānam manojavam, nivedayitvā rāmāya tasthau tatra vibhīṣaṇaḥ/

Vibhishana met Shri Rama fresh next morning, Rama queried at to when, how and how soon that he could reach Ayodhya as he was anxious to reach there at the earliest. Vibhishana replied: evam uktas tu kākutstham pratyuvāca vibhīṣaṇaḥ, ahnā tvām prāpayiṣyāmi tām purīm pārthivātmaja/ puṣpakam nāma bhadram te vimānam sūryasamnibham, mama bhrātuḥ kuberasya rāvaṇenāhrtam balāt/ tad idam meghasamkāśam vimānam iha tiṣṭhati, tena yāsyasi yānena tvam ayodhyām gajajvaraḥ/ Maha Raja! do not kindly worry on this. I should be able to reach you Ayodhya in one day. My brother Kubera possesses a pushpaka vimana, which was forcefully seized by Ravana and this is right at your disposal. This Celestial Vimana is such as per one's own desire is ready for the purpose. aham te yady anugrāhyo yadi smarasi me guṇān, vasa tāvad iha prājña yady asti mayi sauhrdam/ lakṣmaṇena saha bhrātrā vaidehyā cāpi bhāryayā, arcitaḥ sarvakāmais tvam tato rāma gamiṣyasi/ prītiyuktas tu me rāma sasainyaḥ sasuhrdgaṇaḥ, satkriyām vihitām tāvad grhāṇa tvam mayodyatām/ praṇayād bahumānāc ca sauhrdena ca rāghava, prasādayāmi preṣyo 'ham na khalv ājñāpayāmi te/Yet Shri Rama, my humble appeal for your kind consideration would be that you, Devi Sita and Lakshmanaas might stay of for a few days for accepting my 'satkaaraas' after all these hardships of sleeplessness, tensions and the tribulations of the maha yuddha, Devi's agni pareeksha demanding the landings of Brahma, Maha Deva, Indra and Devataas

and so on. How I wish that you kindly accept this proposal as I could only request as your humble admirer, follower and a truthful devotee. evam uktas tato rāmah pratyuvāca vibhīsanam, raksasām vānarāṇām ca sarveṣām copaśṛṇvatām/ pūjito 'ham tvayā vīra sācivyena paramtapa, sarvātmanā ca ceştibhih sauhrdenottamena ca/ na khalv etan na kuryām te vacanam rākṣaseśvara, tam tu me bhrātaram drastum bharatam tvarate manah/mām nivartavitum vo 'sau citrakūtam upāgatah, śirasā vācato vasva vacanam na kṛtam mayā/ As Vibhishana had requested with humility, Shri Rama replied in a manner that Rakshasa Vaanara Veeraas too might hear and note: Veera Vibhishana: I have already proved your 'parama sahridayata' by your acts, timely counsellings and dependability as my 'uttama sachiva' and had done excellent service and endless 'satkaaras'. Rakshsewara! I could never refuse your considered proposal in the normal course. Yet, right now I am extremely anxious to see and meet my dear brother who had for long waiting for me at the Chitrakuta by worshipping and prostrating at my 'paadukaas'! kausalyām ca sumitrām ca kaikeyīm ca yaśasvinīm, gurūms ca suhrdas caiva paurāms ca tanayaih saha/ upasthāpaya me ksipram vimānam rākṣaseśvara, kṛtakāryasya me vāsah katham cid iha sammatah/ anujānīhi mām saumya pūjito 'smi vibhīṣaṇa, manyur na khalu kartavyas tvaritas tvānumānaye/ Besides my mothers Kousalya, Sumitra and Yashasvini Devi Kaikevi, the numberless relatives, friends, and the 'janapada praja' have been ever awaiting years, months and day nights. Soumya Vibhishana! Therfore please give me your consent to leave; indeed, do get assured that you had been according many many 'sanmaanaas' as I am ever grateful to you; kindly not get offended in any manner as I explained to you briefly my anxiety to return back now. Rakshasa Raja! do therefore arrange for the pusupaka vimana at the very earliest. tatah kāñcanacitrāngam vaidūryamanivedikam, kūṭāgāraiḥ parikṣiptam sarvato rajataprabham/tan merusikharākāram nirmitam visvakarmanā, bahubhir bhūsitam harmvair muktārajatasamnibhau/ upasthitam anādhrsyam tad vimānam manojavam, nivedayitvā rāmāya tasthau tatra vibhīsanah/ As Vibhishana arranged, the pushpaka vimaana's each compartment was made of gold with a central nila mani vedika with hidden chambers with silver partitions. This vimana was the product of Vishvakarma as of the size of Meru Parvata. Its speed was like of one's own liking/. As the vimana had arrived Vibhishana announced its arrival. Shri Rama Lakshmanas were truly impressed.

Sarga Hundred Twenty Two

As Shri Rama alighted the Kubera's Pushpaka Vimana with Sita Laksgnanas, Vibhishana requsted Rama to accompany with Sugriva Vaanara sena too, and the celestial vimana had taken off

Upasthitam tu tam drstvā puspakam puspabhūsitam, avidūre sthitam rāmam pratyuvāca vibhīsanah/ sa tu baddhāñjalih prahvo vinīto rāksaseśvarah, abravīt tvarayopetah kim karomīti rāghavam/ tam abravīn mahātejā laksmanasyopasrnvatah, vimrsya rāghavo vākyam idam snehapuraskrtam/krtaprayatnakarmāņo vibhīsana vanaukasah, ratnair arthais ca vivibhair bhūsanais cābhipūjaya/ sahaibhir arditā lankā nirjitā rākṣaseśvara, hṛṣṭaiḥ prāṇabhayam tyaktvā samgrāmeṣv anivartibhiḥ/ evam sammānitāś ceme mānārhā mānada tvavā, bhavisvanti krtajñena nirvrtā harivūthapāh/ tvāginam samgrahītāram sānukrośam yaśasyinam, yatas tyām ayagacchanti tatah sambodhayāmte/ eyam uktas tu rāmena vānarāms tān vibhīşaṇaḥ, ratnārthaiḥ samvibhāgena sarvān evānvapūjayat/ tatas tān pūjitān dṛṣṭvā ratnair arthaiś ca yūthapān, āruroha tato rāmas tad vimānam anuttamam/ aṅkenādāya vaidehīm laijamānām vasasvinīm, laksmanena saha bhrātrā vikrāntena dhanusmatā/ abravīc ca vimānasthah kākutsthah sarvavānarān, sugrīvam ca mahāvīryam rāksasam ca vibhīsanam/ mitrakāryam krtam idam bhavadbhir vānarottamāḥ, anujñātā mayā sarve yathestam pratigacchata/ yat tu kāryam vayasyena suhṛdā vā paramtapa, kṛtam sugrīva tat sarvam bhavatā dharmabhīruṇā, Kishkindhaam pratiyāhy āśu svasainyenābhisamvṛtah/ svarājye vasa laṅkāyām mayā datte vibhīṣaṇa, na tvām dharṣayitum śaktāh sendrā api divaukasaḥ/ ayodhyām pratiyāsyāmi rājadhānīm pitur mama, abhyanujñātum icchāmi sarvān āmantrayāmi vah/ evam uktās tu rāmena vānarās te mahābalāh, ūcuh prāñjalayo rāmam rāksasas ca vibhīsanah, ayodhyām gantum icchāmah sarvān nayatu no bhavān/ dṛstvā tvām abhisekārdram kausalyām abhivādya ca, acireṇāgamiṣyāmaḥ svān grhān nrpateḥ suta/ evam uktas tu dharmātmā vānaraih savibhīsanaih, abravīd rāghavah śrīmān sasugrīvavibhīsanān/ privāt privataram labdham vad

aham sasuhrjjanah, sarvair bhavadbhiḥ sahitaḥ prītim lapsye purīm gataḥ/ kṣipram āroha sugrīva vimānam vānaraiḥ saha, tvam adhyāroha sāmātyo rākṣasendravibhīṣaṇa/ tatas tat puṣpakam divyam sugrīvaḥ saha senayā, adhyārohat tvarañ śīghram sāmātyaś ca vibhīṣaṇaḥ/ teṣv ārūḍheṣu sarveṣu kauberam paramāsanam, rāghaveṇābhyanujñātam utpapāta vihāyasam/ yayau tena vimānena hamsayuktena bhāsvatā, praḥṛṣṭaś ca pratītaś ca babhau rāmaḥ kuberavat/

Having alighted the pushpaka vimana, Shri Rama suggested to Vibhishana to distribute gifts of nava ratnas and golden jewelers to all the Vanara yoddhas who never took a backward foot and with the least consideration of 'praana bhaya' participated in the 'maha sangrama'. This token gift as a souvenir momento should truly elate the vaanara veeraas. Accordingly, Vibhishana distributed the valuables and complemented the gusto and the utmost sense of loyalty, commitment and dedication, besides parama swami bhakti. Thereafter Shri Rama settled down as the shyful Devi Sita on his laps and Lakshmana behind. As having benignly glanced the Vaanara Warriors with affection and admiratation, Rama adderessed Vaanara Raja Sugriva and his followers said: 'Now that Vibhishana's 'mitrochita sanmaanaas kaarya kalaapaas' are concluded formally, you may witness this memorable 'pushpaka vimaana'. Sakha Sugriva, you had already performed all the 'hita-prema-mitra kaaryas' as expected of you with perfection and commitment as your truly possessive the qualms of 'adharma and anyaaya' and thus organised the 'maha vaanara sena' in an ever memorable, prudent, tactical and commitmental manner. Vaanara raja! now you may like to return to kishkindha along with the 'apaara vaanara sena'. Vishishana! May you be blessed to get wonderfully settled down in your Lanka samraajya and even Indraadi Devataas too would ever support you. Now this indeed high time to leave for my glorious and dearmost father's Ayodhyaapuri as I seek you all my memoryful pranaamaas to you all.' As Rama concluded his farewell like thanksgiving, Vibhishana stated: 'Bhagavan! We too wish to visit Ayodhya to be with you longer, enjoy its 'udyaanavana viharas'. Nara sheshtha! May witness your 'raajyaabhisheka samaya mantra poorva jaala prokshana bhagya', receive the fortune of carrying the banner of Shri Vigraha, and prostrate at the feet of Devi Kauslya and then return to Lankapuri.' Having so stated, Rama was pleased to address Vibhishana, Sugriva and all the Vanara veeraas as follows: priyāt priyataram labdham yad aham sasuhrjjanah, sarvair bhavadbhih sahitah prītim lapsye purīm gatah/ksipram āroha sugrīva vimānam vānaraiḥ saha, tvam adhyāroha sāmātyo rākṣasendravibhīṣaṇa/ ' Dear friends! This is my affectionate appeal to you all! May we all proceed to Ayodhyapuri altogether as I should consider this as our greatest gift and a well deserved boon'. Rama further addressed Sugriva; 'Sugriva, may you along with the entire vaanara veeras join me, and so should th Rakshasa Raja Sugriva too. tatas tat puspakam divyam sugrīvah saha senayā, adhyārohat tvarañ śīghram sāmātyaś ca vibhīsanah/ tesv ārūdhesu sarvesu kauberam paramāsanam, rāghavenābhyanujñātam utpapāta vihāyasam/ yayau tena vimānena hamsayuktena bhāsvatā, prahrstas ca pratītas ca babhau rāmah kuberavat/ Thus Vaanara sahita Sugriva and mantri sahita Vibhishana settled down in the pushpaka vimaana flew off, as Rama was enormously pleased.

Sarga Hundred and Twenty Three

Enroute Ayodhya, Rama highlighted to Sita of Yuddha bhumi- Setu bandhana vidhana- kishkindha pick up of strees- drishyas of Janasthaana- their crossings of maha nadis- Muni ashramas and Ayodhya finally!

Anujñātam tu rāmeņa tad vimānam anuttamam, utpapāta mahāmeghaḥ śvasanenoddhato yathā/pātayitvā tataś cakṣuḥ sarvato raghunandanaḥ, abravīn maithilīm sītām rāmaḥ śaśinibhānanām/kailāsaśikharākāre trikūṭaśikhare sthitām, laṅkām īkṣasva vaidehi nirmitām viśvakarmaṇā/etad āyodhanam paśya māmsaśoṇitakardamam, harīṇām rākṣasānām ca sīte viśasanam mahat/tavahetor viśālākṣi rāvaṇo nihato mayā, kumbhakarṇo 'tra nihataḥ prahastaś ca niśācaraḥ/lakṣmaṇenendrajic cātra rāvaṇir nihato raṇe, virūpākṣaś ca duṣprekṣyo mahāpārśvamahodarau/akampanaś ca nihato balino 'nye ca rākṣasāḥ, triśirāś cātikāyaś ca devāntakanarāntakau/atra mandodarī nāma bhāryā tam paryadevayat, sapatnīnām sahasreṇa sāsreṇa parivāritā/etat tu dṛśyate tīrtham samudrasya varānane, yatra sāgaram uttīrya tām rātrim usitā vayam/esa setur mayā baddhah sāgare salilārnave, tavahetor

viśālāksi nalasetuh suduskarah/ paśya sāgaram aksobhyam vaidehi varunālayam, apāram abhigarjantam śankhaśukti- nisevitam/ hiranyanābham śailendram kāñcanam paśya maithili, viśramārtham hanumato bhittvā sāgaram utthitam, atra rākṣasarājo 'yam ājagāma vibhīṣaṇaḥ/ eṣā sā dṛśyate sīte kiṣkindhā citrakānanā, sugrīvasya purī ramyā yatra vālī mayā hatah/ drśyate 'sau mahān sīte savidyud iva toyadah, rśyamūko giriśresthah kāñcanair dhātubhir yrtah/ atrāham yānarendrena sugrīvena samāgatah, samayaś ca kṛtaḥ sīte vadhārtham vālino mayā/ eṣā sā dṛśyate pampā nalinī citrakānanā, tvayā vihīno yatrāham vilalāpa suduļkhitaļ/ asyās tīre mayā drstā sabarī dharmacāriņī, atra yojanabāhus ca kabandho nihato mayā/ dṛśyate 'sau janasthāne sīte śrīmān vanaspatiḥ, yatra yuddham mahad vṛttam tavahetor vilāsini, rāvanasya nrśamsasya jatāyoś ca mahātmanah/kharaś ca nihataś samkhye dūsanaś ca nipātitah, triśirāś ca mahāvīryo mayā bānair ajihmagaih/ parnaśālā tathā citrā drśyate śubhadarśanā, yatra tvam rāksasendrena rāvanena hrtā balāt/ esā godāvarī ramyā prasannasalilā sivā, agastyasyāsramo hy esa drśyate paśya maithili/ vaidehi drśyate cātra śarabhangāśramo mahān, upayātah sahasrākso yatra śakraḥ puraṁdaraḥ/ ete te tāpasāvāsā dṛśyante tanumadhyame, atriḥ kulapatir yatra sūryavaiśvānara prabhaḥ/ atra sīte tvayā dṛṣṭā tāpasī dharmacāriṇī, asmin deśe mahākāyo virādho nihato mayā/ asau sutanuśailendraś citrakūtah prakāśate, vatra mām kaikavīputrah prasādavitum āgatah/ esā sā vamunā dūrād dṛśyate citrakānanā, bharadvājāśramo yatra śrīmān eṣa prakāśate/ eṣā tripathagā gaṅgā dṛśyate varavarnini, śrngaverapuram caitad guho yatra samāgatah/ eṣā sā drśyate 'yodhyā rājadhānī pitur mama, ayodhyām kuru vaidehi pranāmam punar āgatā/ tatas te vānarāh sarve rāksasaś ca vibhīsanah, utpatyotpatya dadrśus tām purīm śubhadarśanām/ tatas tu tām pānduraharmyamālinīm; viśālakaksyām gajavājisamkulām, purīm ayodhyām dadrsuh plavamgamāh; purīm mahendrasya yathāmarāvatīm/

Mighty pleased Shri Rama addressed Devi Sita: 'Videharaja nandini! Do you not get amazed at this mammoth pushpaka vimana of Kubera dikpati consructed by Vishvakarma! Is this not like Trikuta parvata vishaala! Now from this, you may witness the yuddha bhumi abounding rakta maamsaas as rakshasa-vaanaara sangrama had just over. Ravana had since converted as a field of ashes as unbelievable 'himsakanda' as per Brahma Deva's 'varadaana prapta' of the devilish Ravana since destroyed but only for your sake! It was on these very battle fields, Kumbhakarana was devastated, nishachara Prahasta was destroyed while Veera Hanuman did the deed of Dhumraaksha's doom. Rakshasas Sushena and Vidyunmaalis were sent to graves by Lakshmana who also had the fame of Indrajit samhaara. Angada the Yuvaraja Vaali putra did the feat of throwing Vikata Rakshas to his fate besides the bhayankaraakaara Virupaksha-Mahapaashva-Mahodaras. Rakshasa yoddhas Akampana was yet another balavan rakshasa who was despatched to the 'mtityu ghaata', apart from Trishira-Mahakaaya-Devaantaka- Naraantakas too. The yuddhonmatta rakshasas of Kumbha Nikumbhas who were Kumbhakarnas gigantic rakshasaas too had their mrityu praatta here o this very abhorable 'samgrama kshetra'. Vajradamshtra and Damshtra besides countless rakshasaas too were felled down on these very frightening grounds, and so were Makaraksha, Akampana, Shonikaaksha, Yupaaksha, Prajangha, Vidyujjihva, Yaginashatru and Suptaghna. It was Ravanas's 'pattamahishi'- Devi Mandodari- who wept on and on at the killings of Survashatru and Brahmashatrus. Apart from these renowned Rakshasaagrasas were forwarded as interminable flows to the crowded Yama loka. Sumukhi! Now, you may divert your attention to the 'maha setu bandhana' as being famed as 'Nala Setu' by which crores of Vanara bhalluka veeraas facilitated to cross from shore to shore with extraordinary discipline. Mithileshwarakumai! Do note this distinct 'samudra madhya kukshi-aakaara' parvata' in the middle of the 'maha saagara' which Maha Deva blessed me with. That indeed was the starting point of this 'Maha Setu bandhana' which might look to haven been anchored to! This 'punyasthala setu nirmaana kaarana moola sthala tirtha' is venerated by trilokaas. It was at this tirtha, Vibhishana had met me.eṣā sā dṛśyate sīte kiṣkindhā citrakānanā, sugrīvasya purī ramyā yatra vālī mayā hatah/ drśyate 'sau mahān sīte savidyud iva toyadah rśyamūko giriśresthah kāñcanair dhātubhir vṛtah/ atrāham vānarendreṇa sugrīveṇa samāgataḥ, samayaś ca kṛtaḥ sīte vadhārtham vālino mayā/ Site! This disinct and rather strange mountainous place is kishkinindha the place of Vaanara Raja Sugriva where I had killed Maha Bali Vaali'. As she noted that place, Sita Devi said: Maha Raja, why would we not let the strees of Kishkindha too like Tara Devi and his dear wives too. As she hinted like that, the pushpaka vimana was halted, Sugriya having rushed to his raani yaasa,

hurried up his dear wives who too alighted the vimana almost too very soon. As the vimana further moved forward Rama alerted about the 'Rishyamooka' replete with maha dhatus and narrated that he and Lakshmana foremost met the then fugitive vaanara king Sugriva where he had made a pratigina to kill Vaali. esā sā drśyate pampā nalinī citrakānanā, tvayā vihīno yatrāham vilalāpa suduḥkhitaḥ/ asyās tīre mayā drstā śabarī dharmacārinī, atra vojanabāhuś ca kabandho nihato mayā/ drśyate 'sau janasthāne sīte śrīmān vanaspatih, yatra yuddham mahad vrttam tavahetor vilāsini, rāvanasya nrśamsasya jatāyoś ca mahātmanah/ Devi! what you see now is the Pampaa named Pushkarini, in the banks of which I had broken down before Lakshmana bitterly with my heart out with your vivoga. It was at this very place had the darshana of Shabari Devi where after we had a horrible encounter with the Kabandhaka asura with neither face- eyes- nor legs but a yojana long hand reach to draw with fierce speed with which he could drag animals and any other victims right into his mouth studded in his stromach, but Lakshmana and myself were able to cut his hands well before we could be devoured and killed him thus. Vilaasa shalini Site! Do you now see the vishala vriksha under which balavan PakshirajaJatayu who made all out efforts to save you from Ravanasura but was most unfortunately killed. There after when out of sheer desperation you managed to drop down your vastraabharanaas which our vaanara veeraas had then picked up and we tried to guess the direction by which the dirty donkey chariot of Ranana was driven to. kharaś ca nihataś samkhye dūṣaṇaś ca nipātitaḥ, triśirāś ca mahāvīryo mayā bāṇair ajihmagaiḥ/ parṇaśālā tathā citrā drśyate śubhadarśanā, yatra tvam rāksasendrena rāvanena hṛtā balāt/ esā godāvarī ramyā prasannasalilā śivā, agastyasyāśramo hy esa drśyate paśya maithili/ Maithili! You may now recognise the janasthaana where Khara was downed by my severe baanaas and Dushana became 'dharaashraya', while maha paraakrami Trishira too was bespatched to 'shmashaana'. Vara vnini! Shubha darshane! That indeed was the 'parna shaala' where we had peaceful and contented life from where the everforgetful accident of Sitaapaharana by the force of fate in the form of force of dushta Ravanasure the historical villian! While wiping tat experience away from our memory screens, Devi! let is now witness this ' swacchha jalaraasi'of Godavari. On the vishala teeraas of the Sacred River be sighted the ashram of Maharshi Agastya- and the Maha Parivrata Lopamudra. vaidehi drśyate cātra śarabhaṅgāśramo mahān, upayātaḥ sahasrākṣo yatra śakraḥ puramdaraḥ/ ete te tāpasāvāsā dṛśyante tanumadhyame, atriḥ kulapatir vatra sūrvavaišvānara -prabhah/ atra sīte tvavā drstā tāpasī dharmacārinī, asmin deše mahākāyo virādho nihato mayā/ asau sutanuśailendraś citrakūtah prakāśate, vatra mām kaikayīputrah prasādayitum āgataḥ/ Videhanandini! Now do note the Sharbhanga Maha Muni which is often visited Shasra netradhaari Puranadarendra! Further you may recall our nasty incident of Viratha who was killed by me. There appears now the hermitage of Maharshi Atri and the tapasvini Anasuya Devi. Sutanu devi! This Chitrakuta is resplendent as ever before. Could you recall that Kaikeyi Putra Bharata was contented with my 'hita bodha' and had withdrawn from accompanying me further! esā sā yamunā dūrād drśyate citrakānanā, bharadvājāśramo yatra śrīmān eşa prakāśate/ eṣā tripathagā gangā dṛśyate varavarnini, śrngavera -puram caitad guho yatra samāgatah/ eṣā sā dṛśyate 'yodhyā rājadhānī pitur mama, ayodhyām kuru vaidehi praṇāmam punar āgatā/Mithilesha Kumaari! Do see the ramaneeya yamuna river with an ever atrateive setting of rich forests in the midst of which is Maha Muni Bharadwaja ashrama! Further, do see the punya Ganga Nadi and the dwija brindas seated around agni homa kundas or profound with deep tapasyaas, while the phala pushpa raajita vrishaas abound. Now you may see Shingaverapura where my dear friend Guha the memorable boatsman who dared to decline your valuable golden ring on finger on the plea of same profession should not accept gifts as he was a boatsman of Ganga but Sita Ramas were of 'bhava saagara'! Devi Site, now look at the Sarayu River on whose banks is situated my dear father Maha Raja Dasharadha's Ayodhya. Now take a long delightful sigh of breathing that after fourteen long years of enduring Vana Vaasa, we have the dream like return to Ayodhya to which we should prostrate to with extreme venaration. tatas te vānarāh sarve rākṣasaś ca vibhīṣaṇah, utpatyotpatya dadṛśus tām purīm śubhadarśanām/ tatas tu tām pāṇḍuraharmyamālinīm; viśālakakṣyām gajavājisamkulām, purīm ayodhyām dadršuh plavamgamāh; purīm mahendrasya yathāmarāvatīm/ Then Vibhishana sahita raakshasa vaanaaras knew no bounds of happiness jumping with unparalleled jubilation. Further, Vaanara rakshasaas began staring at the 'vishala Ayodhyaapuri' crowded with 'gajaasva yukta prajaa samuhaas' similar to Indra's Amarayati!

Sarga Hudred Twenty Four

Rama approached Muni Bharadwaaja to enquire of the yoga kshemaas of his mothers, Bharata and Ayodhy in general, and the all knowing Muni blessed Rama for his glorious return and blessed.

Pūrņe caturdaśe varşe pañcabhyām laksmanāgrajah, bharadvājāśramam prāpya vavande niyato munim/ so 'prechad abhiyādyainam bharadyājam tapodhanam, śrnosi ka cid bhagayan subhiksānāmayam puren, kaccic ca yukto bharato jīvanty api ca mātarah/ evam uktas tu rāmena bharadvājo mahāmunih, pratyuvāca raghuśrestham smitapūrvam prahrstavat/ pankadigdhas tu bharato jatilas tvām pratīksate, pāduke te puraskrtya sarvam ca kuśalam grhe/ tvām purā cīravasanam praviśantam mahāvanam, strītṛtīyam cyutam rājyād dharmakāmam ca kevalam/ padātim tyaktasarvasvam pitur vacanakāriṇam, svargabhogaih parityaktam svargacyutam ivāmaram/ dṛṣṭvā tu karuṇā pūrvam mamāsīt samitimjaya, kaikeyīvacane yuktam vanyamūlaphalāśanam/ sāmpratam susamṛddhārtham samitraganabāndhavam,samīksva vijitārim tvām mama prītir anuttamā/sarvam ca sukhaduhkham te viditam mama rāghava, yat tvayā vipulam prāptam janasthānavadhādikam/ brāhmaṇārthe niyuktasya rakṣataḥ sarvatāpasān, mārīcadarśanam caiva sītonmathanam eva ca/ kabandhadarśanam caiva pampābhigamanam tathā, sugrīvena ca te sakhyam yac ca vālī hatas tvayā/ mārganam caiva vaidehyāh karma vātātmajasya ca, viditāyām ca vaidehyām nalasetur yathā kṛtah, yathā ca dīpitā laṅkā prahṛstair hariyūthapaih/ saputrabāndhavāmātyah sabalah saha vāhanah, yathā ca nihatah samkhye rāvano devakantakah/ samāgamas ca tridasair vathādattas ca te varah, sarvam mamaitad viditam tapasā dharmavatsala/ aham apy atra te dadmi varam śastrabhṛtām vara, arghyam pratigṛhāṇedam ayodhyām śvo gamisyasi/ tasya tac chirasā vākyam pratigrhya nrpātmajah, bādham ity eva samhrstah śrīmān varam ayācata/ akālaphalino vṛksāh sarve cāpi madhusravāh, bhavantu mārge bhagavann ayodhyām prati gacchatah/ nisphalāh phalinaś cāsan vipuspāh puspaśālinah, śuskāh samagrapatrās te nagāś caiva madhusravāh/

As the fourteen years of vana vaasa concluded by the panchami tithi, Shri Rama reached Bharadwja ashrama and with extreme self restraint greeted the Maha Muni and asked him: 'Bhagayan! Have you recently had any significant news of welfare of Ayodhyapuri as everything has been auspicious, Bharata's administration has been comfotable, and my mothers have been of good health!' Then the Muni replied: 'Raghunadana! Bharata has been under your regulation ever awaiting your return as keeping your paadukaas on the throne. Besdes your mothers and ayodhya vaasis are normal and safe. Raghu veera! I recall that you left Ayodhya for vaana vaasa as per the 'pitru agina' with cheera vastraas by foot with Sita Lakshmanas under the instruction of Kaikeyi Devi by phala moolaahaara and I had then felt extremely pained but now as you are back just as the fourteen years are over am truly delighted. Surely your stay at the jansthaana and the aftermath was pathetic especially after Ravana's cruel deeds. mārgaṇam caiva vaidehvāh karma vātātmajasva ca, viditāvām ca vaidehvām nalasetur vathā krtah, vathā ca dīpitā lankā prahṛṣṭair hariyūthapaiḥ/ saputrabāndhavāmātyaḥ sabalaḥ saha vāhanaḥ, yathā ca nihataḥ samkhye rāvaņo devakantakah/As you had killed Mareecha as the maya mriga and Sitapaharana by Ravana, I am aware of your Kabandha hatya followed by his divya darshana, pampasarovara yatra, Sugriva mairi, Vaali vadha. Sitaanveshana, Nala nirmita setu bandhana, Lanka dahana, putra-bandhu-mantri-sena yuta Ravana vadha as Deva ganas descended and given you blessings. I am aware of all these facts as one of my sishyas named Pravritti had been always on the move keeping track of these developments. Now I am delighted to give a boon which you may like to avail as per your wish. Then Shri Rama desired that on his travel ahead on the way there mut be excellent vriksha sampada with sweet fruits and sugandha pushpas so that the vaanara rakshasas be delighted as the Maha Muni granted the wish instantly!

Sarga Hundred and Twenty Five

Rama with his sharp mindedness instructed Hanuman to visit Nishada Guha about their 'punaagamana' and to Bharata, who was worshipping Rama Padukas, was specially elated.

Ayodhyām tu samālokya cintayām āsa rāghavaḥ, cintayitvā tato drṣṭim vānareṣu nyapātayat./ privakāmah privam rāmas tatas tvaritavikramam, uvāca dhīmāms tejasvī hanūmantam plavamgamam./ ayodhyām tvarito gaccha kṣipram tvam plavagottama, jānīhi kaccit kuśalī jano nṛpatimandire/ śrngaverapuram prāpya guham gahanagocaram, niṣādādhipatim brūhi kuśalam vacanān mama/śrutvā tu mām kuśalinam arogam vigatajvaram, bhavişyati guhah prītah sa mamātmasamah sakhā/ ayodhyāyāś ca te mārgam pravrttim bharatasya ca, nivedayisyati prīto nisādādhipatir guhah/ bharatas tu tvayā vācyah kuśalam vacanān mama, siddhārtham śamsa mām tasmai sabhāryam sahalaksmanam/ haranam cāpi vaidehyā rāvanena balīyasā, sugrīvena ca samvādam vālinas ca vadham rane/ maithilyanvesanam caiva yathā cādhigatā tvayā, laṅghayitvā mahātoyam āpagāpatim avyayam/ upayānam samudrasya sāgarasya ca darśanam, yathā ca kāritaḥ setū rāvaṇaś ca yathā hataḥ/ varadānam mahendreṇa brahmaṇā varuṇena ca, mahādevaprasādāc ca pitrā mama samāgamam/ jitvā śatrugaṇān rāmaḥ prāpya cānuttamam vasah, upavāti samrddhārthah saha mitrair mahābalah/etac chrutvā vamākāram bhajate bharatas tatah, sa ca te veditavyah syāt sarvam yac cāpi mām prati/ jñeyāh sarve ca vṛttāntā bharatasyengitāni ca, tattvena mukhavarņena drstyā vyābhāsaņena ca/ sarvakāmasamrddham hi hastyaśvarathasamkulam, pitṛpaitāmaham rājyam kasya nāvartayen manaḥ/ samgatyā bharataḥ śrīmān rājyenārthī svayam bhavet, praśāstu vasudhām sarvām akhilām raghunandanahyayau/tasya buddhim ca vijñāya vyavasāyam ca vānara, yāvan na dūram yātāḥ smaḥ kṣipram āgantum arhasi/ iti pratisamādiṣṭo hanūmān mārutātmajah, mānuṣam dhārayan rūpam ayodhyām tvarito/ langhayitvā pitṛpatham bhujagendrālayam śubham, gangāyamunayor bhīmam samnipātam atītya ca/ śrngaverapuram prāpya guham āsādya vīryavān, sa vācā śubhayā hṛṣṭo hanūmān idam abravīt/ sakhā tu tava kākutstho rāmaḥ satyaparākramah, sasītah saha saumitrih sa tvām kuśalam abravīt/ pañcamīm adya rajanīm usitvā vacanān muneh, bharadvājābhyanujñātam draksyasy adyaiva rāghavam/ evam uktvā mahātejāh samprahrstatanūruhah, utpapāta mahāvego vegavān avicārayan/ so 'paśyad rāmatīrtham ca nadīm vālukinīm tathā, gomatīm tām ca so 'paśyad bhīmam sālavanam tathā/ sa gatvā dūram adhvānam tvaritah kapikuñjarah, āsasāda drumān phullān nandigrāmasamīpajān/ krośamātre tv ayodhyāyāś cīrakṛṣṇājināmbaram, dadarśa bharatam dīnam kṛśam āśramavāsinam/ jaṭilam maladigdhāngam bhrātṛvyasanakarśitam, phalamūlāśinam dāntam tāpasam dharmacāriṇam/ samunnatajaṭābhāram valkalājinavāsasam, niyatam bhāvitātmānam brahmarsisamatejasam/ pāduke te puraskrtya śāsantam vai vasumdharām, caturvarnyasya lokasya trātāram sarvato bhayāt/ upasthitam amātyaiś ca śucibhiś ca purohitaih, balamukhyaiś ca yuktaiś ca kāsāyāmbaradhāribhih/ na hi te rājaputram tam cīrakṛṣṇājināmbaram, parimoktum vyavaṣyanti paurā vai dharmavatṣalāh/ tam dharmam iva dharmajñam devavantam ivāparam, uvāca prāñjalir vākyam hanūmān mārutātmajah/ vasantam daṇḍakāraṇye yam tvam cīrajatādharam, anuśocasi kākutstham sa tvā kuśalam abravīt/ priyam ākhyāmi te deva śokam tyakṣyasi dāruṇam, asmin muhūrte bhrātrā tvam rāmeṇa saha samgataḥ/ nihatya rāvaṇam rāmah pratilabhya ca maithilīm, upayāti samrddhārthah saha mitrair mahābalaih laksmanas ca mahātejā vaidehī ca vaśasvinī, sītā samagrā rāmena mahendrena śacī vathā/ evam ukto hanumatā bharataḥ kaikayīsutaḥ, papāta sahasā hṛṣṭo harṣān moham jagāma ha/ tato muhūrtād utthāya pratyāśvasya ca rāghavah, hanūmantam uvācedam bharatah priyavādinam/ aśokajaih prītimayaih kapim ālingya sambhramāt, siseca bharatah śrīmān vipulair aśrubindubhih/ devo vā mānuso vā tvam anukrośād ihāgatah, priyākhyānasya te saumya dadāmi bruvatah priyam/ gavām śatasahasram ca grāmānām ca śatam param, sakundalāh śubhācārā bhāryāh kanyāś ca sodaśa/ hemavarnāh sunāsorūh śaśisaumyānanāḥ striyaḥ, sarvābharaṇasampannā sampannāḥ kulajātibhiḥ/ niśamya rāmāgamanam nṛpātmajaḥ; kapipravīrasya tadādbhutopamam, praharsito rāmadidṛkṣayābhavat; punaś ca harṣād idam abravīd vacah/

Even before Rama visited Muni Bharadwaaja's ashram, he asked Hanuman to urgently ascertain the what abouts of Raja bhavan of Ayodhya Puri to know the welfare there as also visit Shringverapura and meet Nishada Raja Guha and convey to him as to how to reach Ayodhya as Guha would give the samaachaara

of Bharata. Further reach Bharata and convey that Rama Lakshmana Sitas would be arriving Ayodhya soon. Hanuman! Do also brief Bharata about Sitapaharana-Sugriva maitri-Vaali vadha-Sitaanveshanayour samudra yaana- Sita darshana-our reaching the shores of the Maha Sagara-setu bandhana- Ravana Vadha-appearance of Indra-Brahma-Varunaadi and their blessings- Pitra Dasharatha darshana from swarga loka and so on. Please also sensitize Bharata about the roles and contributions of Sugriva and Vibishana and of our arrival soon enough. While you narrate these details, Hanuman! You may also not as well the sensitive reactions of Bharata too although he regretted his mother Kaikeyi's vicious planning anyway. jñevāh sarve ca vrttāntā bharatasvengitāni ca, tattvena mukhavarnena drstvā vvābhāsanena ca/ sarvakāmasamrddham hi hastyaśvarathasamkulam, pitrpaitāmaham rājyam kasya nāvartayen manah/ samgatyā bharatah śrīmān rājyenārthī svayam bhavet, praśāstu vasudhām sarvām akhilām raghunandanahyayau/tasya buddhim ca vijñāya vyavasāyam ca vānara, yāvan na dūram yātāh smah ksipram āgantum arhasi/ Having heard of the narration of my accompishments, please note Bharata's mukha mudras and possibly his inner feelings by his bodily reactions carefully. I only feel that his outlook might not give out feelings that my successful return have upset the scheme of getting the traditional kingship away! Even if he were to still supportive of Devi Kaikeyi's mindset even remotely, I should support him to continue his kingship forever.' That was how, Shri Rama briefed Anjaneya and proceeded to Ayodhya. There after, Hanuman left for Shringaverapura to meet Nishada Raja Guha to convey the happy news of Sita Rams Lakshmana's return successfully after the fourteen year vana vaasa and that he wished to convey this news to you personally but had to visit Muni Bharadwaaja for his blessings. Having conveyed this happy news to Guha inviting him to meet Shri Rama, Hanuman proceeded to Bharata at his ashrama situated a few iles away from Ayodhyapuri which was crowded with his near and dears, dharmika prajaaneeka of stree purushaas, and soldiers with their respective duties as horsemen, charioteers, and elephantry. Bharata was physically weak with repetitive upavaasaas, robed in valkava mrigacharmas like a Brahmarshi himself, ever meditating and repetitively performing Yaama Pujas to Shri Rama Padukas placed on a 'ratna khachita swarna simhasana' which were full of flower garlands and nitya naivedya padaardhaas, as always immersed in Shri Rama Dhyaana ever awaiting for His return to Ayodhya. Then Hanuman donning the dress of a huma being was highly impressed at the 'Nitya Rama Paduka Pattaabhishekas'. Having approached Bharata, he stated as follows: vasantam dandakāranve vam tvam cīrajatādharam, anuśocasi kākutstham sa tvā kuśalam abravīt/ privam ākhyāmi te deva śokam tyakṣyasi dāruṇam, asmin muhūrte bhrātrā tvam rāmeṇa saha samgataḥ/ nihatya rāvaṇam rāmah pratilabhya ca maithilīm, upayāti samrddhārthah saha mitrair mahābalaih laksmanas ca mahātejā vaidehī ca yaśasvinī, sītā samagrā rāmena mahendrena śacī yathā/ Mahanubhava Bharata! As you are robed in 'dandakaaranya cheera vastra jataa dharana yukta nirantara Rama Paduka Puja nimagnas'! Now kindly leave this 'nirantara shokaaveshaas' as I have the honour of giving you this sensational news of 'Rama Sita Lakshmana Punaraagamana'! Bhagavan Shri Rama having demolished the 'loka kantaka' Ravanasura, is returning to Ayodhya as Lakshmana sameta Devi Sita, along with his associates and admirers'. As Hanuman broke this announcemet, Bharata was dazed and swooned with such unbelievable announcment with his 'ananda bashpaas' flowing away with thrilled body, mind and senses. Having gradually recovered, Bharata held Hanuman's both hands tight and embraced him repeatedly with paramaanada and replied with excitement: devo vā mānuṣo vā tvam anukrośād ihāgataḥ, priyākhyānasya te saumya dadāmi bruvatah priyam/ gavām satasahasram ca grāmānām ca satam param, sakundalāh śubhācārā bhāryāh kanyāś ca sodaśa/ hemavarnāh sunāsorūh śaśisaumyānanāh striyah, sarvābharanasampannā sampannāh kulajātibhih/' Dear brother! Are you a devata or a manushya having arrived here to convey this unbelievable annoncement well deserving plenitful rewards of lakshaadhika go-vastu- dhana-kanaka-kaantaas'. So raised his voice in high tone of exhilaration and animation.

Sarga Hundred Twenty Six

Hanuman then had briefly narrated to Bharata of the proceedings after the latter's earlier darshana of Shri Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas, till their much awaited Ayodhya Darshana.

Bahūni nāma varsāni gatasya sumahad vanam, śrnomy aham prītikaram mama nāthasya kīrtanam kalyāṇī bata gātheyam laukikī pratibhāti me, eti jīvantam ānando naram varṣaśatād api/rāghavasya harīṇām ca katham āsīt samāgamaḥ, kasmin deśe kim āśritya tat tvam ākhyāhi pṛcchataḥ/ sa pṛṣṭo rājaputreņa brsyām samupaveśitaḥ, ācacakṣe tataḥ sarvam rāmasya caritam vane/ yathā pravrajito rāmo mātur datte vare tava, vathā ca putrašokena rājā dašaratho mrtah/ vathā dūtais tvam ānītas tūrnam rājagrhāt prabho, tvayāyodhyām pravistena yathā rājyam na cepsitam/ citrakūṭam girim gatvā rājyenāmitrakarśanah,imantritas tvayā bhrātā dharmam ācaritā satām/ sthitena rājño vacane yathā rājyam visarjitam, āryasya pāduke grhya yathāsi punar āgatah/ sarvam etan mahābāho yathāvad viditam tava, tvayi pratiprayāte tu yad vṛttaṁ tan nibodha me/ apayāte tvayi tadā samudbhrāntamṛgadvijam, praviveśātha vijanam sumahad dandakāvanam/ tesām purastād balavān gacchatām gahane vane, vinadan sumahānādam virādhah pratyadršyata/ tam utksipya mahānādam ūrdhyabāhum adhomukham, nikhāte praksipanti sma nadantam iva kuñjaram/ tat krtvā duskaram karma bhrātarau rāmalaksmanau, sāyāhne śarabhaṅgasya ramyam āśramam īyatuh/ śarabhaṅge divam prāpte rāmah satyaparākramah, abhivādya munīn sarvāñ janasthānam upāgamat/ caturdaśasahasrāni rakṣasām bhīmakarmaṇām,hatāni vasatā tatra rāghavena mahātmanā/ tatah paścāc chūrpanakhā rāmapārśvam upāgatā, tato rāmena samdişto lakşmanah sahasotthitah/ pragrhya khadgam ciccheda karnanāse mahābalah, tatas tenārditā bālā rāvaṇam samupāgatā/ rāvaṇānucaro ghoro mārīco nāma rākṣasaḥ, lobhayām āsa vaidehīm bhūtvā ratnamayo mṛgah/ sā rāmam abravīd dṛstvā vaidehī gṛhyatām iti, aho manoharah kānta āśrame no bhavisyati/ tato rāmo dhanuspānir dhāvantam anudhāvati, sa tam jaghāna dhāvantam śarenānata parvaṇā/ atha saumyā daśagrīvo mṛgam yāte tu rāghave, lakṣmane cāpi niṣkrānte praviveśāśramam tadā, jagrāha tarasā sītām grahaḥ khe rohiṇīm iva/ trātukāmam tato yuddhe hatvā grdhram jaṭāyuṣam, pragrhya sītām sahasā jagāmāśu sa rāvaņah/ tatas tv adbhutasamkāśāh sthitāh parvatamūrdhani, sītām grhītvā gacchantam vānarāḥ parvatopamāḥ, dadrśur vismitās tatra rāvaṇam rākṣasādhipam/ praviverśa tadā lankām rāvano lokarāvana, tām suvarnaparikrānte subhe mahati vesmani/ pravesya maithilīm vākyaih sāntvayām āsa rāvanah, nivartamānah kākutstho dṛstvā gṛdhraṁ pravivyathe/ gṛdhraṁ hataṁ tadā dagdhvā rāmah priyasakham pituh, godāvarīm anucaran vanoddeśām's ca puspitān, āsedatur mahāranye kabandham nāma rākṣasam/ tataḥ kabandhavacanād rāmaḥ satyaparākramaḥ, rśyamūkam girim gatvā sugrīveņa samāgatah/ tayoh samāgamah pūrvam prītyā hārdo vyajāyata, itaretara samvādāt pragādhah pranavas tavoh/ rāmah svabāhuvīrvena svarājvam pratvapādavat, vālinam samare hatvā mahākāyam mahābalam/ sugrīvaḥ sthāpito rājye sahitaḥ sarvavānaraiḥ, rāmāya pratijānīte rājaputryās tu mārganam/ ādistā vānarendrena sugrīvena mahātmanā, daśakotyah plavamgānām sarvāh prasthāpitā diśah/ tesām no vipranastānām vindhye parvatasattame, bhrśam śokābhitaptānām mahān kālo 'tyavartata/ bhrātā tu grdhrarājasya sampātir nāma vīryavān, samākhyāti sma vasatim sītāyā rāvanālaye/ so 'ham duhkhaparītānām duhkham tajjñātinām nudan, ātmavīryam samāsthāya yojanānām śatam plutah/ tatrāham ekām adrākṣam aśokavanikām gatām, kauśeyavastrām malinām nirānandām dṛḍhavratām/ tayā sametya vidhivat pṛṣṭvā sarvam aninditām, abhijñānam maṇim labdhvā caritārtho 'ham āgataḥ/ mayā ca punar āgamya rāmasyāklistakarmaṇaḥ, abhijñānam mayā dattam arcismān sa mahāmaṇiḥ/śrutvā tām maithilīm hrstas tv āśaśamse sa jīvitam, jīvitāntam anuprāptah pītvāmrtam ivāturah/ udvojavisvann udvogam dadhre lankāvadhe manah, jighāmsur iva lokāms te sarvāml lokān vibhāvasuh/ tatah samudram āsādya nalam setum akārayat, atarat kapivīrāṇām vāhinī tena setunā/ prahastam avadhīn nīlaḥ kumbhakarnam tu rāghavah, laksmano rāvanasutam svayam rāmas tu rāvanam/ sa śakrena samāgamya vamena varunena ca, surarsibhiś ca kākutstho varāmil lebhe paramtapah/ sa tu dattavarah prītyā vānarais ca samāgatah, puspakena vimānena kiskindhām abhyupāgamat/ tam gangām punar āsādya vasantam munisamnidhau, avighnam puşyayogena śvo rāmam drastum arhasi/ tatah sa satyam hanumadvaco mahan; niśamya hṛṣṭo bharataḥ kṛṭāñjaliḥ, uvāca vāṇīm manasaḥ praharṣinī; cirasya pūrnah khalu me manorathah/

As Bharata was overwhelmed with excited joy at the news of the soonest 'punaraaganana' of Sita Lakshmna Sahita Shri Rama after fourteen long year 'vana vaasa', he expressed to Hanuman: $kaly\bar{a}n\bar{i}$ bata gātheyam laukikī pratibhāti me, eti jīvantam ānando naram varṣaśatād api/ rāghavasya harīnām ca katham āsīt samāgamaḥ, kasmin deśe kim āśritya tat tvam ākhyāhi pṛcchataḥ/ sa pṛṣṭo rājaputreṇa

brsyām samupaveśitah, ācacakse tatah sarvam rāmasya caritam vane/ 'Hanuman! To day I see that the old adage appears to be truthful which states: 'Any human being in one's lifetime should certainly receive a truly happy time, even after having to wait for hundred years of existence. Soumya Hanuman! Kindly explain to me as to how Shri Rama got intimate with Vaanaraas, where and how! This is a matter of great curiousity for me!' Then Hanuman gave a lucid and fairly detailed reply as follows: 'Bharata Prabho! You are fully aware as to how and why Ramachandra vanavaasa had happened, how Devi Kaikeyi secured two boons from King Dasharatha, how due to putra shoka the dear father died, how from the Raja Griha were summoned and Rama obeyed pitru vaakya paripaalana, how Rama Lakshmana Sitas reached Chirakuta parvata, how Bharata begged of Rama to agree for kingship and how Rama convinced you to return to Ayodhya. Now, let me continue as to what had happened. Sita Rama Lashmanas had then to face the exit of Munis from Chitrakuta due to Rakshasa's harassment, and moved forward to encounter Viradha Rakshasa who was killed by Rama banaas. Further three more elephant sized Rakshasas who too were killed. As the ever frighened Sita devi as the evening appoached the threesome reached the ashram of the Muni Sharabhanga for a night shelter. While the Muni in the presence of Ramas reached swarga loka later, the threesome of Ramaas move on further to Jana sthaana and made a 'parna kuteera' on the neighbourhood of muni ashramas. There then entered an ugly Rakshasi named Shurpanakha and desired to marry Shri Rama and kept on pestering him as out of consideration for her being a women asked Lakshmana to severe her ears and nose. Then some fourteen thousand rakshasaas attacked Rama Lakshmamanas as there were all killed by Rama banaas. Revengefully further rakshasaas named Khara Dushanas and Trishira too attacked who too were devastated and tried to get rid of the rakshasa problem for good. Meanwhile the rakshasi approached Ravana the King of Lanka saamraajya who in turn hatched a plan with another maayaavi rakshasa named Mareecha who tempted Devi Sita as a maya mriga. Then Sita requested Rama to catch the glittering golden deer. Rama chased the deer with his dhanush baanaas and killed it. To ascertain as to what had happened as Mareecha kept made false shoutings as 'ha Sita ha Lakshmana, then Devi Sita pressurised Lakshmana to leave her alone. Then Ravanaasura had at once entered the parna kuteera at the janasthaana and forcefully kidnapped Devi Sita and brought her to Lankapuri by his vimaana. On way, grudhra raaja jataayu tried to save her my his all out efforts but got crashed down. He kept on pestering Devi Sita to marry him even by tempting her with the offers of Prime Oueenship, Meanwhile Rama Lashmanaas returned and got bewildered at the absence of Devi Sita. Having tirelessly searched for on and on saw Jatayu the gridhra raja a friend of King Dasharatha having fallen down and made the antya kriyas of the dead Jatayu. Thereafter, Rama Lakshmanas out of sheer helplessness and aimlessly wandered Godavari's pushpavanaas. During their drifting meanderings, they encountered a rakshasa named Kabandha who was killed but his relieved Soul from high skies directed Rama Lakshmanas to reach Rishyamooka parvata for possible help from the fugitive King of Vaanaras named Sugriva. Rama helped Sugriva to kill Vaali as a gesture of avowed friendship as Sugriva the new King of Vanaras arranged ten crores of vaanaraas to search for Devi Sita in various directions. As the north-east and west bound vaanaaraas returned futile the south bound vaanaraas including me by the name of Hanuman lost our way in the Vindhya Parvata Guhas could return to Kishkindha within the time schedule of three months as vanaras of other directions had honoured. Then we saw the fallen and sickly Sampaati, another gidhraraja being the brother of Jatayu, who guided us to the way of Lankapuri of Ravana who had indeed kidnapped Devi Sita and retained in his antahpura as he saw her from the skies. Then I, Hanuman, had crossed the hundred vojana distance of the Maha Samudra and was able to succeed locating Devi Sita at the Ashoka Vana Vaatika under a huge and sprawling shadow of a tree with unclean clothing with continuous cryings as surrounded by crulel and ugly rakshasis. I had in my minatured body form conversed with her as from Shri Rama as a parama bhakta of his and convinced her with a finger ring of Rama himself and assured her that Rama would soon arrive to liberate her. In turn, she gave her 'Choodaamani' as a return memory to Rama. mayā ca punar āgamya rāmasyāklistakarmanah, abhijñānam mayā dattam arcismān sa mahāmanih/śrutvā tām maithilīm hṛstas tv āśaśamse sa jīvitam, jīvitāntam anuprāptah pītvāmṛtam ivāturah/ tatah samudram āsādya nalam setum akārayat, atarat kapivīrāṇām vāhinī tena setunā/ As I was highly excited to have finally succeeded in 'Devi Sita darshana' and having destroyed the best part of Lankapuri, had speeded up with 'vaayu

manovega', reached Shri Rama and conveyed to him of the welfare of Devi Sita while handing over her 'choodaa -mani'. Shri Rama having felt immensely relieved of Devi Sita's safety, like a 'maranaasanna rogi' would secure 'amrita'. Then like pralaya kaala 'Samvarka naamaagni', Shri Rama made all out efforts to devastate Ravana's Lankapuri. Subsequenty, Rama as having led the ten crore strong maha vaanara sena reached the shores of the Samudra, encouraged Nala named Vaanara Shreshtha for setu bandhana the ever memorable bridge across the hundred yojana's distance to cross the maha sagara, and destroyed rakshasa veeraas. Neela Vanara killed Pahasta, Lakshma destroyed Ravana Putra Indrajit, and Raghunandana himself devastated Kumbhakarna the younger brother of Rayana and finally Rayanaasura himself. Then arrived at the Yuddha bhumi the Deva brinda of Indra-Yama-Varuna-Maha Deva-and Brahma Deva ho facilitated the darshana of Maha Raja Dasharatha from swargaloka. Further then arrived Rishi-Devashis and blessed Shri Rama. Subsequently Rama arriverd at Kishkindha, Prayaga of Triveni Nadi Sangama for Bharadwaaja Muni darshana and tomorrow at the 'shubha pushya naksatra yoga kaala' should occur Devi Sita Lakshmana sahita Shri ama darshana prapi' should be facilitated'. As thus Hanuman with his 'madhura vaani' made the proclamation, the ever elated Bharata declared: 'Here and now, my 'chira kaala manoratha praptii' is indeed about to be fulfilled, by the grace of Shri Rama Chandra!'

Sarga Hundred Twenty Seven

As Sita Rama Lakshmanas were arriving, Bharata Shatrugmas made elaborate arrangements at Ayodhyathe much excited Bharata hands over the Kingdom as of a deposit to Rama after a public announcement.

_

śrutvā tu param ānandam bharatah satyavikramah, hṛṣṭam ājñāpayām āsa śatrughnam paravīrahā/ daivatāni ca sarvāni caityāni nagarasya ca, sugandhamālyair vāditrair arcantu śucayo narāh/ rājadārās tathāmātyāh sainyāh senāganāṅganāh, abhiniryāntu rāmasya drastum śaśinibham mukham/bharatasya vacah śrutvā śatrughnah paravīrahā, vistīr anekasāhasrīś codayām āsa vīryavān/ samīkuruta nimnāni vişamāņi samāni ca, sthānāni ca nirasyantām nandigrāmād itah param/ siñcantu pṛthivīm kṛtsnām himaśītena vārinā, tato 'bhvavakirams tv anye lājaih puspaiś ca sarvatah/ samucchritapatākās tu rathvāh puravarottame, śobhayantu ca veśmāni sūryasyodayanam prati/ sragdāmamuktapuspaiś ca sugandhaih pañcavarṇakaiḥ, rājamārgam asambādham kirantu śataśo narāḥ/ mattair nāgasahasraiś ca śātakumbhavibhūsitah, apare hemakaksyābhih sagajābhih karenubhih, niryayus tvarayā yuktā rathaiś ca sumahārathāh/ tato yānāny upārūdhāh sarvā daśarathastriyah, kausalyām pramukhe krtvā sumitrām cāpi niryayuh/ aśvānām khuraśabdena rathanemisvanena ca, śankhadundubhinādena samcacāleva medinī/ kṛtsnam ca nagaram tat tu nandigrāmam upāgamat, dvijātimukhyair dharmātmā śrenīmukhyaih sanaigamaih/ mālyamodaka hastaiś ca mantribhir bharato vṛtaḥ, śankhabherīninādaiś ca bandibhiś cābhivanditaḥ/āryapādau grhītvā tu śirasā dharmakovidaḥ, pānduram chatram ādāya śuklamālyopa śobhitam/ śukle ca vālavyajane rājārhe hemabhūṣite, upavāsakṛśo dīnaś cīrakṛṣṇājināmbarah/ bhrātur āgamanam śrutvā tat pūrvam harsam āgatah, pratvudvavau tadā rāmam mahātmā sacivaih saha/ samīksva bharato vākvam uvāca pavanātmajam, kaccin na khalu kāpevī sevvate calacittatā, na hi paśyāmi kākutstham rāmam āryam paramtapam/ athaivam ukte vacane hanūmān idam abravīt, artham vijñāpayann eva bharatam satyavikramam/ sadā phalān kusumitān vṛksān prāpya madhusravān, bharadvājaprasādena mattabhramaranāditān/ tasya caisa varo datto vāsavena paramtapa, sasainyasya tadātithyam kṛtam sarvagunānvitam/ nisvanah śrūyate bhīmah prahṛstānām vanaukasām, manye vānarasenā sā nadīm tarati gomatīm/rajovarṣam samudbhūtam paśya vālukinīm prati, manye sālavanam ramyam lolayanti plavamgamāh/ tad etad dršyate dūrād vimalam candrasamnibham, vimānam puspakam divyam manasā brahmanirmitam/ rāvaṇam bāndhavaih sārdham hatvā labdham mahātmanā, dhanadasya prasādena divyam etan manojavam/ etasmin bhrātarau vīrau vaidehyā saha rāghavau, sugrīvas ca mahātejā rāksasendro vibhīsanah/ tato harsasamudbhūto nisvano divam aspṛsat, strībāla yuvavrddhānām rāmo 'yam iti kīrtitah/ rathakuñjaravājibhyas te 'vatīrya mahīm gatāh, dadrsus tam vimānastham narāh somam ivāmbare/ prāñjalir bharato bhūtvā prahṛṣṭo rāghavonmukhah, svāgatena vathārthena tato rāmam apūjavat/ manasā brahmanā srste vimāne laksmanāgrajah, rarāja

prthudīrghākso vajrapānir ivāparah/ tato vimānāgragatam bharato bhrātaram tadā, vavande pranato rāmam merustham iva bhāskaram/āropito vimānam tad bharatah satyavikramah, rāmam āsādya muditah punar evābhyavādayat/ tam samutthāpya kākutsthaś cirasyākṣipatham gatam, anke bharatam āropya muditah pariṣaṣvaje/ tato lakṣmaṇam āsādya vaidehīm ca paramtapaḥ, abhyavādayata prīto bharato nāma cābravīt/ sugrīvam kaikayī putro jāmbayantam tathāngadam, maindam ca dvividam nīlam rşabham caiva sasvaje/ te kṛtvā mānuṣam rūpam vānarāḥ kāmarūpiṇaḥ, kuśalam paryapṛṣhanta prahṛṣṭā bharatam tadā/ vibhīṣaṇam ca bharataḥ sāntvayan vākyam abravīt, diṣṭyā tvayā sahāyena kṛtam karma suduskaram/ śatrughnaś ca tadā rāmam abhivādva salaksmanam, sītāvāś caranau paścād vavande vinayānvitah/rāmo mātaram āsādya visannam sokakarsitām, jagrāha pranatah pādau mano mātuh prasādayan/ abhivādya sumitrām ca kaikeyīm ca yaśasvinīm, sa mātīf ca tadā sarvāh purohitam upāgamat/ svāgatam te mahābāho kausalyānandavardhana, iti prāñjalayah sarve nāgarā rāmam abruvan/ tany añjalisahasrāni pragrhītāni nāgaraih, ākośānīva padmāni dadarśa bharatāgrajah/ pāduke te tu rāmasya gṛhītvā bharataḥ svayam, caraṇābhyām narendrasya yojayām āsa dharmavit/ abravīc ca tadā rāmam bharatah sa krtāñjalih, etat te raksitam rājan rājyam nirvātitam mayā/adya janma krtārtham me samvrttas ca manorathah, vas tvām pasvāmi rājānam avodhvām punar āgatam/ aveksatām bhavān kośam koṣṭhāgāram puram balam, bhavatas tejasā sarvam kṛṭam daśaguṇam mayā/ tathā bruvāṇam bharatam dṛṣṭvā tam bhrātṛvatsalam, mumucur vānarā bāṣpam rākṣasaś ca vibhīṣaṇaḥ/ tataḥ praharṣād bharatam aṅkam āropya rāghavaḥ, yayau tena vimānena sasainyo bharatāśramam/ bharatāśramam āsādya sasainyo rāghavas tadā, avatīrya vimānāgrād avatasthe mahītale/ abravīc ca tadā rāmas tadvimānam anuttamam, vaha vaiśravaṇam devam anujānāmi gamyatām/ tato rāmābhyanujñātam tadvimānam anuttamam, uttarām diśam uddiśya jagāma dhanadālayam/ purohitasyātmasamasya rāghayo; brhaspateh śakra iyāmarādhīaph, nipīdya pādau prthag āsane śubhe; sahaiva tenopaviveśa vīryavān/

Bharata having been excited at the grand news of Shri Ramachandra's victorious return to Ayodhya, asked Shatrughna to get ready as the latter instructed respecstive agents and personalities concerned to organise pujas on temples with sugandha pushpas, stuti purana shravanaas; veda- itihasa-subhashita pravachanaas, naada swaraas, vaadya brinda pradarshanaas, skyhigh sounding dhamaraka mrigana bhedanas, utsaaha poorvaka naatya-nritya- madhura geeta pradarshanas, and so on in market places, street corners, high road junctions, udyaana vanaas, besides gorgeous lightings of bhavana, maarga, praja grihas. May the Mantriganas, Senaadhyakshas, Sainikas, Strees, brahmana-kshatrya-vanikaadi chatur varnas be all notified of the 'Sita Lakshmana yukta Ayodhya Ramaagamana.' Then let the ups and downs of rahadaaris, lanes and by lanes with spick and span cleanliness be done forthwith. Be all the highroads, and so on be decorated with fresh flowers, sugandha dravyaas, and vijaya toranaas'. As per Shatrugna's instructions, the eight mantris named Dhrushti, Jayanta, Vijaya, Siddhardha, Arthasaadhaka, Ashoka, Mantrapaala, and Sumantra alighted dhvaja bhushana Gaja Rajas had taken rounds of Ayodhyapuri to supervise and ensure that the various instructions of the local authorities were followed. Then the senaadhakshaas too settled in chariots ensuring readiness of saftey, orderliness and the respective battalions of horsemen, charioteers, gajaa rohas, and foort soldiers. Then the antahpura strees headed by Devis Kousalya, Sumitra and Kaikeyi headed to Nandigrama. Dharmatma Bharata along with Shatrughna, as surrounded by Mantri ganas, mukhya brahmana ganas, chaturvarna pradhaanaas, then lifted Shri Rama Pavitra Padukas onto his head as Shatrughna handled white 'chaamaras' as the procession moved on as 'Vandeejana' sang Ramayana geetas, while shankha bheri gambhira dhwanis were activised in full swing. upavāsakṛśo dīnaś cīrakṛṣṇājināmbaraḥ, bhrātur āgamanam śrutvā tat pūrvam harşam āgataḥ, pratyudyayau tadā rāmam mahātmā sacivaiḥ saha/ On account of repetitive 'upavaasaas', Bharata was physically weak and thinned down as wearing krishnacharma and cheera vastraas yet awaiting Rama darshana bhagya with tremendous enthusiasm and eagerness. As a huge crowd of Ayodhyapurivaasis had gathered there at Nandigrama, Bharata remarked that among the crowd, he could not spot vaanaras as there are by nature of chanchala buddhi, and in their absence would this annoncement of Shri Rama's arrival here might nor be misleading! Hanuman smiled and replied: Mahatma Bharata! Earlier to this Rama visited Bharadwaja Maha Muni and gave the boon to Rama that

the surroundings of his ashram were barren hitherto would now be full of sweet fruit gardens and surely our vaaraara veeras should be enjoying the fresh fruits in those gardens but it now would appear that they had already left the gardens on the Gomati River and should be arriving here and time; indeed I now hear the 'kolaahala' of their arrival here!' Even as Hanuman was explaining like wise, the Pushpaka Vimana was sighted like the 'ushakaala bhaskara deva'as that was that of Dikpati Kubera created by Vishvakama's 'mano sankalpa siddhi'! Anjaneya further explained: 'Bharat Prabho! It is right within this Pushpaka Vimana would soon arrive Raghuvamsha veeras Rama Lakshmanas along with Devi Sita accompanied by Sureeva Vibhishanaas!' Then there was a huge tumultous furore and pandemonium of the crowds with shrieks of excitement: 'aho! Shri Ramachandra is arriving'. Shri Rama sighted Bharata foremost, as the latter bent down making 'viveetabhaba pranaama'. As soon as the Pushpaka Vimana had landed, Bharata ascended up with anxiety and blissfulness and made a 'saashtaanga pranaama' while Rama hugged Bharata with affection. Later, Bharata hugged Lakshmana too and pada pranaama to Videha Raja Kumari while pronouncing his own name. Bharata embraced Sugriva, Jambavan Andada, ainda, Dwivida, Neella, Rishabha, Sushena, Nala, Gavaksha, Gandhamaadana, Sharabha and Panas as Hanuman kept on announcing there introductions. Then Bharata saluted Sugriva and remarked: now you are our fifth brother as a true mitra is a real brother. Further Bharata addressed Vibhishana as follows: 'Rakshasa Raja! Indeed this is our great fortune that having attained his friendship that Shri Rama got facilitated success of a 'maha dushkara kaarya saadhana'! Meanwhile, Shatrughna prostrated to Rama Sita Lakshmanas. Shri Rama approached his mother Devi Koushalya who since had become weak, lean and faded; as he prostrated with 'ananda bashpaas' she embraced him with great relief. Then he made dada pranaamaas to Devis Sumitra and Kaikeyi. Meanwhile, samasta Ayodhya prajaaneeka addressed in a well tutored chorus: 'svāgatam te mahābāho kausalyānandavardhana, iti prānjalayah sarve nāgarā rāmam abruvan/ Welcome, Welcome and Welcome again, Maha Baahu Rama the most affectionate son of Devi Kousalya!'. Subsequently, Bharata having lifted, placed on his head and brought Shri Rama Paada Paadukaas made an annoncement publicly with bent knees and folded hands: abravīc ca tadā rāmam bharatah sa kṛtāñjalih, etat te raksitam rājan rājyam niryātitam mayā/ adya janma kṛtārtham me samvṛttaś ca manorathaḥ, yas tvām paśyāmi rājānam ayodhyām punar āgatam/ avekṣatām bhavān kośam kosthāgāram puram balam, bhavatas tejasā sarvam krtam dasagunam mavā/ 'Rama Prabho! This Ayodhya Samrajya of yours had been kept as a 'dharoha' or deposit for all these fourteen long years of your absence in the form of 'Shri Rama Paadukaas'now being returned safe . Your kingdom is being returned herewith along with praja, properties and the senaas too while your treasury and 'charaastis' have since been doubled!' As bhraatru vatsala Bharata made this heart rending public announcement, Rakshasa Raja Vibhishana had tears in his eyes. Thereafter, Shri Rama placed Bharata on his right lap and proceeded to Bharataashrama while thanking the Pushpaka vimana chaalakas to convey his gratitude to Dikpati Kubera. Further, Shri Rama remembered his friend Suyagjna the Vasishtha Putra, honoured him as to Vasishta himself and requested him to convey of his arrival to Rajya Purohita Maharshi Vasishtha.

Final Sarga Hundred Twenty Eight

Bharata's handing over Ayodhya Rajya- Sita Rama Nagara Yatra-Rajyabhisheka- Valmiki Ramayana Phala Shruti

śirasy añjalim ādāya kaikeyīnandivardhanaḥ, babhāṣe bharato jyeṣṭhaṁ rāmaṁ satyaparākramam/
pūjitā māmikā mātā dattaṁ rājyam idaṁ mama, tad dadāmi punas tubhyaṁ yathā tvam adadā mama/
dhuram ekākinā nyastām rṣabheṇa balīyasā, kiśoravad guruṁ bhāraṁ na voḍhum aham utsahe/
vārivegena mahatā bhinnaḥ setur iva kṣaran, durbandhanam idaṁ manye rājyacchidram asaṁvṛtam/
gatiṁ khara ivāśvasya haṁsasyeva ca vāyasaḥ, nānvetum utsahe deva tava mārgam ariṁdama/ yathā ca
ropito vṛkṣo jātaś cāntarniveśane, mahāṁś ca sudurāroho mahāskandhaḥ praśākhavān/ śīryeta puṣpito
bhūtvā na phalāni pradarśayet, tasya nānubhaved arthaṁ yasya hetoḥ sa ropyate/ eṣopamā mahābāho
tvam arthaṁ vettum arhasi, yady asmān manujendra tvaṁ bhaktān bhṛtyān na śādhi hi jagad

adyābhisiktam tvām anupaśyatu sarvatah, pratapantam ivādityam madhyāhne dīptatejasam/ tūryasamghātanirghosaih kāñcīnūpuranisvanaih, madhurair gītaśabdaiś ca pratibudhyasva śesva ca/ yāvad āvartate cakram yāvatī ca vasumdharā, tāvat tvam iha sarvasya svāmitvam abhivartaya/ bharatasya vacah śrutvā rāmah parapuramjayah, tatheti pratijagrāha niṣasādāsane śubhe/ tatah śatrughnavacanān nipunāh śmaśruvardhakāh, sukhahastāh suśīghrāś ca rāghavam parvupāsata/ pūrvam tu bharate snāte lakşmane ca mahābale, sugrīve vānarendre ca rākşasendre vibhīşane/ viśodhitajatah snātas citramālyānulepanaḥ, mahārhavasanopetas tasthau tatra sriyā jvalan/ pratikarma ca rāmasya kārayām āsa vīryayān, laksmanasya ca laksmīvān iksvākukulayardhanah/ pratikarma ca sītāyāh saryā daśarathastriyah, ātmanaiya tadā cakrur manasyinyo manoharam/ tato rāghayapatnīnām saryāsām eya śobhanam, cakāra yatnāt kausalyā prahṛstā putravatsalā/ tatah śatrughnavacanāt sumantro nāma sārathih, yojayitvābhicakrāma ratham sarvāngasobhanam/ arkamandalasamkāsam divyam dṛstvā ratham sthitam, āruroha mahābāhū rāmah satyaparākramah/ ayodhyāyām tu sacivā rājño daśarathasya ye, purohitam puraskrtya mantrayām āsur arthavat/ mantrayan rāmavrddhyartham vrttyartham nagarasya ca, sarvam evābhisekārtham javārhasya mahātmanah, kartum arhatha rāmasya yad yan mangalapūrvakam/ iti te mantrinah sarve samdiśva tu purohitam, nagarān nirvavus tūrnam rāmadarśanabuddhayaḥ/ hariyuktam sahasrākṣo ratham indra ivānaghaḥ, prayayau ratham āsthāya rāmo nagaram uttamam/ jagrāha bharato raśmīñ śatrughnaś chatram ādade, lakṣmaṇo vyajanam tasya mūrdhni samparyavījayat/ śvetam ca vālavyajanam sugrīvo vānareśvarah, aparam candrasamkāśam rāksasendro vibhīsanah/ ṛsisamghair tadākāśe devaiś ca samarudganaih, stūyamānasya rāmasya śuśruve madhuradhvanih/ tatah śatrumjayam nāma kuñjaram parvatopamam, āruroha mahātejāh sugrīvo vānareśvaraḥ/ navanāgasahasrāṇi yayur āsthāya vānarāḥ, mānuṣaṁ vigrahaṁ krtvā sarvābharaṇabhūṣitāh/ śaṅkhaśabdapraṇādaiś ca dundubhīnām ca nisvanaiḥ, prayayū puruṣavyāghras tām purīm harmyamālinīm/ dadrśus te samāyāntam rāghavam sapurahsaram, virājamānam vapusā rathenātiratham tadā/ te vardhayitvā kākutstham rāmena pratinanditāh, anujagmur mahātmānam bhrātrbhih parivāritam/ amātyair brāhmanaiś caiva tathā prakṛtibhir vṛtaḥ, śriyā viruruce rāmo naksatrair iva candramāh/ sa purogāmibhis tūryais tālasvastikapānibhih, pravyāharadbhir muditair mangalāni yayau vṛtaḥ/ akṣatam jātarūpam ca gāvaḥ kanyās tathā dvijāḥ, narā modakahastāś ca rāmasya purato yayuh/ sakhyam ca rāmah sugrīve prabhāvam cānilātmaje, vānarānām ca tat karma vvācacakse 'tha mantrinām, śrutvā ca vismavam jagmur ayodhvāpuravāsinah/ dyutimān etad ākhvāya rāmo vānarasamvrtah, hrstapustajanākīrnām ayodhyām praviveśa ha/ tato hy abhyucchrayan paurāh patākās te grhe grhe, aiksvākādhyusitam ramyam āsasāda pitur grham/ pitur bhavanam āsādya praviśya ca mahātmanah, kausalyām ca sumitrām ca kaikeyīm cābhyavādayat/ athābravīd rājaputro bharatam dharminām varam, athopahitayā vācā madhuram raghunandanah/ yac ca madbhayanam śrestham sāśokavanikam mahat, muktāvaidūryasamkīrnam sugrīvasya nivedaya/ tasya tadvacanam śrutvā bharatah satyavikramah, pāṇau gṛhītvā sugrīvam praviveśa tam ālayam/ tatas tailapradīpāmś ca paryankāstaranāni ca, grhītvā viviśuh kṣipram śatrughnena pracoditāh/ uvāca ca mahātejāh sugrīvam rāghavānujaḥ, abhiṣekāya rāmasya dūtān ājñāpaya prabho/ sauvarṇān vānarendrāṇām caturṇām caturo ghatān, adau ksipram sa sugrīvah sarvaratnavibhūsitān/ vathā pratvūsasamave caturnām sāgarāmbhasām, pūrņair ghaṭaiḥ pratīkṣadhvam tathā kuruta vānarāḥ/ evam uktā mahātmāno vānarā vāraņopamāh, utpetur gaganam sīghram garuḍā iva sīghragāḥ/ jāmbavāms ca hanūmāms ca vegadarsī ca vānarah, rsabhaś caiva kalaśāñ jalapūrnān athānayan, nadīśatānām pañcānām jale kumbhair upāharan/ pūrvāt samudrāt kalaśam jalapūrnam athānayat, susenah sattvasampannah sarvaratna vibhūṣitam, ṛṣabho dakṣiṇāt tūrṇaṁ samudrāj jalam āharat/ raktacandanakarpūraiḥ saṁvṛtaṁ kāñcanam ghaṭam, gavayah paścimāt toyam ājahāra mahārnavāt/ ratnakumbhena mahatā śītam mārutavikramaḥ, uttarāc ca jalam śīghram garuḍānilavikramaḥ/ abhiṣekāya rāmasya śatrughnaḥ sacivaih saha, purohitāya śresthāya suhrdbhyaś ca nyavedayat/ tatah sa prayato vrddho vasistho brāhmaṇaiḥ saha, rāmam ratnamayo pīṭhe sahasītam nyaveśayat/ vasiṣṭho vāmadevaś ca jābālir atha kāśyapah, kātyāyanah suyajñaś ca gautamo vijayas tathā/ abhyasiñcan naravyāghram prasannena sugandhinā, salilena sahasrāksam vasavo vāsavam vathā/ rtvigbhir brāhmanaih pūrvam kanyābhir mantribhis tathā, yodhaiś caivābhyaṣiñcams te samprahṛṣṭāḥ sanaigamaiḥ/ sarvauṣadhirasaiś cāpi daivatair nabhasi sthitaiḥ, caturhir lokapālaiś ca sarvair devaiś ca samgataih/ chatram tasya ca jagrāha

śatrughnah pānduram śubham, śvetam ca vālavyajanam sugrīvo vānareśvarah, aparam candrasamkāśam rāksasendro vibhīsanah/ mālām įvalantīm vapusā kāñcanīm śatapuskarām, rāghavāya dadau vāyur vāsavena pracoditaḥ/ sarvaratnasamāyuktam maṇiratnavibhūṣitam, muktāhāram narendrāva dadau śakrapracoditah/ prajagur devagandharvā nanrtuś cāpsaro gaṇāh, abhiṣeke tad arhasya tadā rāmasya dhīmatah/ bhūmih sasyayatī caiva phalayantas ca pādapāh, gandhayanti ca puspāni babhūvū rāghavotsave/ sahasraśatam aśvānām dhenūnām ca gavām tathā, dadau śatam vṛṣān pūrvam dvijebhyo manujarşabhah/ trimsatkotīr hiranyasya brāhmaņebhyo dadau punaḥ, nānābharaṇavastrāṇi mahārhāṇi ca rāghavah/ arkaraśmipratīkāśām kāñcanīm manivigrahām, sugrīvāva srajam divvām prāvacchan manujarşabhah/ vaidūryamanicitre ca vajraratnavibhūşite, vāliputrāya dhṛtimān angadāyāngade dadau/ manipravarajustam ca muktāhāram anuttamam, sītāvai pradadau rāmas candrarasmisamaprabham/ araje vāsasī divye subhāny ābharanāni ca, aveksamānā vaidehī pradadau vāyusūnave/ avamucyātmanah kanthād dhāram janakanandinī, avaiksata harīn sarvān bhartāram ca muhur muhuh/ tām iṅgitajñah samprekşya babhāşe janakātmajām, pradehi subhage hāram yasya tuşṭāsi bhāmini/ pauruṣam vikramo buddhir yasminn etāni nityadā, dadau sā vāyuputrāya tam hāram asitekṣaṇā/ hanūmāms tena hāreṇa śuśubhe vānararsabhah, candrāmśucayagaurena śvetābhrena yathācalah/ tato dvivida maindābhyām nīlāya ca paramtapaḥ, sarvān kāmaguṇān vīkṣya pradadau vasudhādhipaḥ/ sarvavānāravrddhāś ca ye cānye vānareśvarāh, vāsobhir bhūṣaṇaiś caiva yathārham pratipūjitāh/ yathārham pūjitāh sarve kāmai ratnaiś ca puskalair, prahrstamanasah sarve jagmur eva yathāgatam/ rāghavah paramodārah śaśāsa parayā mudā, uvāca laksmanam rāmo dharmajñam dharmavatsalah/ ātiṣṭha dharmajña mayā sahemām; gām pūrvarājādhyuṣitām balena, tulyam mayā tvam piṭrbhir dhṛtā yā; tām yauvarājye dhuram udvahasva/ sarvātmanā paryanunīyamāno; yadā na saumitrir upaiti yogam, niyujyamāno bhuvi yauvarājye; tato 'bhyaṣiñcad bharatam mahātmā/ rāghavaś cāpi dharmātmā prāpya rājyam anuttamam, īje bahuvidhair yajñaih sasuhrdbhrātrbāndhavah/ paundarīkāśvamedhābhyām vājapeyena cāsakrt, anyaiś ca vividhair yajñair ayajat pārthivarsabhah/ rājyam daśasahasrāni prāpya varsāni rāghavah, śatāśvamedhān ājahre sadaśvān bhūridaksinān/ ājānulambibāhuś ca mahāskandhah pratāpavān, lakṣmaṇānucaro rāmaḥ pṛthivīm anvapālayat/ na paryadevan vidhavā na ca vyālakṛtaṁ bhayam, na vyādhijam bhayam vāpi rāme rājyam praśāsati/ nirdasyur abhaval loko nānarthah kam cid asprśat, na ca sma vrddhā bālānām pretakārvāni kurvate/ sarvam muditam evāsīt sarvo dharmaparo 'bhayat, rāmam eyānupaśyanto nābhyahimsan parasparam/ āsan yarsasahasrāni tathā putrasahasrinah, nirāmayā viśokāś ca rāme rājyam praśāsati/ nityapuṣpā nityaphalās taravaḥ skandhavistṛtāḥ, kālavarṣī ca parjanyah sukhasparśaś ca mārutah/ svakarmasu pravartante tusthāh svair eva karmabhih, āsan prajā dharmaparā rāme śāsati nānrtāh/ sarve laksanasampannāh sarve dharmaparāyanāh, daśavarsa sahasrāni rāmo rājyam akārayat/

Bharata then having folded his hands and raised them on to his head assured Shri Rama as follows: 'Mahatma! Now by accepting Kingship of this 'Samraajya' you have not only preserved my mother's prestige by honouring me to retain it till your return, but enhanced my status too! Like an 'asaamartha vrishabha' As an animal suffered the heavy burden imposed by its master for long not being able to lift up even its own kid too any further, I had so far suffered by holding like a dam or a barrier seeking to resist the torrential flows of an ocean, but have reached by now a breaking point in managing this 'maha saamraajya' any further! Shatru damana veera! could any body imitate for long to bray like a donkey or 'coo coo' like a cuckoo bird for ever! Maha Baaho Narendra! There may also an analogy of planting in one's garden which had eventually become a maha vriksha, it would be very difficult to ascend it and even to properly look at the luscious fruits, let alone eat and enjoy their sweetness! And having been increasingly burdened by the weight of the fruits, the tree might drop off the rotten fruits and eventually break down with its own burden. Likewise a 'maha saamrajya' might not even pay off the wages of the workers if this situation might persist any further. This indeed why is that Ayodhya 'prajaaneeka' and most certainly myself are anxious to celebrate your raajyaabhisheka at once and in the most befitting manner! May now the 'vaadya madhura dhwanis', 'khaanchi nrupura jjankaaraas', 'manohara geeta nissvanaas' hence be initiated at once!' As Bharata made his inaugural remarks, the entire public roared with repeated 'tathaastu vachanaas' and Shri Rama too in his sonorous voice repeated the 'tathastu

vachana' of the public! Then as instructed by Shatrughna, a select group of expert 'mundana' kartas' surrounded Shri Rama with 'hatsa shlaaghana nipunata'. Then foremost Bharata was bathed with 'sugandhita jalaas', then Lakshmana, followed by Vaanara Raja Sugriva and Rakshasa Raja Vibhishana. Then after the removal of the earlier cladding, Shri Rama was bathed again formally with refreshening waters with 'sugandha anulepana, where after decorated with 'pushpa haaraas, bahu mulya peetaambara vastraas, aabhushanaas' as apropriate for the rajyaabhisheka and was requested to be seated on the 'Rajya Simhasana' of gold glittering with 'navaratnas' like 'vajra maanikya vaidurya manis' studded in. Sharughna then made the 'shringaara dharana yukta alankaaraas' to Shri Rama. King Dasharatha's manasvini Ranis of Kausalya-Sumitra-Kaikeyis initiated the 'alankaara kaaryakrama' to Videha Nandini Devi Sita. Further as per the instructions of Shatrughna, Saradhi Sumantra brought the divya radha as Maha Bahu Shri Rama was seated. Sugriva and Hanuman with 'swarna karna kundalas' with divya vastras had followed. Sugriva's antahpura strees gave finishing touches to what the queen mothers had done essentially to Devi Sita. Ayodhya's Mantris had discussed the finer points with Raja Purohita Maharshi Vasishtha as the latter had since arrived. The three Ministers named Ashoka, Vijaya, and Siddhardha were engaged in the 'nagara samriddhi' in the face of Shri Rama's taking over the reins of the Rajyaanga. Now, the Shri Rama Ratha moved ahead as Bharata was the saarathi, Shatrughna with 'Chhatra' and Lakshmana with 'Chaamara' behind. It was that time when Deva Marudgana Rishis were engaged to Rama stuti uccharanas from the skies even as the vedavetta's mantroccharanas were resounding. Maha tejasvi Sugriva mounted the Shatrunjaa naamaka gajendra as followed by the distinguished Vaanara yoddhas too on their respective elephants. Maha Vaanaraas who had assumed maanava swarupas joined as the foot soldiers. Vibhishana too along with his mantris was seated in another mountain like elephant as the visiting onlooker prajaaneeka wondered whether one mountain was placed on another mountain! Purusha Simha Shri Rama, in the midst of shankha dhyanis-dundubha bheris had then reached the Ayodhapuri which was decorated like Indra Bhavana. Pura jyeshthaas then mingled the praja samudra with 'hardika ahvaanaas'. Just as nakshatras in mandalis surrounded Purna Chanda, it was in that very formulations, the mantri manadalis, veda vetta brahmana mandalis, and prajaaniikas were sparkling all around. sa purogāmibhis tūryais tālasvastikapānibhih, pravyāharadbhir muditair mangalāni vavau vrtah/ aksatam jātarūpam ca gāvah kanvās tathā dvijāh, narā modakahastās ca rāmasya purato yayuh/With 'yaadya brindaas' in the lead with 'karataala swastika mangala geetaas of nagara vaasis in tunes, Shri Rama chandra faced by 'akshata suvarna yukta paatraas', 'go brahmana kanya hasta yukta madhus' was welcomed my aneka prajaanneka ayodhya pura vaasis with blissful cheers.sakhvam ca rāmah sugrīve prabhāvam cānilātmaje, vānarānām ca tat karma vvācacakse 'tha mantrinām, śrutvā ca vismayam jagmur ayodhyāpuravāsinah/ dyutimān etad ākhyāya rāmo vānarasamvṛtah, hṛstapustajanākīrnām ayodhyām praviveśa ha/ The puravaasis were engrossed with discussions about Shri Rama's parama mitrata of Sugriva, Hanuman's veera prataapa, Vaanara veeraas adbhuta yuddha karya kramas and so on. In the course of the endless mutual exchanges of information, the ayodhya pura vaasis were truly thrilled and ecstatic. As such discussions of Shri Rama Vijaya, the Epic Hero entered Ayodhya Puri and reached the King's palace which was already shimmering to glory with vijaya pataakaas. As he entered the three mothers welcomed him with ananda pashpaas as he had instantly touched their feet dutifully and addressed Bharata to offer the 'mukta vaidurya mani jatila vishala bhavana' nearby and accordingly Bharata held both the hands of Sugriva to enter it as Sugriva requested Bharata that 'Ramaabhisheka ninitta pavitra jala kumbhas' be instructed to be kept safe and four of the vaanaras placed four ratna yukta swarna chaturkumbhas were fetched. Sugriva then accosted select maha vaanars to reach four maha samudras early morning and bring the sacred waters from there. Then four Vanara jyeshthas named Jambavan, Hanuma, Vegadarshi Gavaya and Rishabha flew off with the swarna kumbhas each atonce to bring back with waters from four samudras and five maha nadis. Jamabavan the bhalluka raja filled up with the swarna kumbha from 'purva samudra', Rishabha from 'dakshina samudra'. Gayaya from 'paschima samudra' and Hanuman from the uttara yartii 'maha saagara' well beyond the himalayas. abhisekāya rāmasya śatrughnah sacivaih saha, purohitāya śresthāya suhrdbhyaś ca nyavedayat/ tatah sa prayato vrddho vasistho brāhmanaih saha, rāmam ratnamayo pīthe sahasītam nyaveśayat/ vasistho vāmadevas ca jābālir atha kāsyapah, kātyāyanah

suyajñaś ca gautamo vijayas tathā/As the four Abhisheka Purvna Kumbhas as secured from four maha samudras and twelve maha nadis, thus brought by four maha vaanara shreshthas, Purohita Vasishtha Maharshi invited Sita sahita Shri Ramachandra to be seated on a ratna peetha. Following this on the pattern of Indra how dutifully oergnised the performance of abhishekaas to 'ashtaavasuus' viz. ' Aapa, Dhruya, Soma, Dhara, Anila, Anala, Pratyusha and Prabhasa, Shri Rama along with Devi Sita too had devotedly organised the performance of sugandha purvaka abhishekaas' to Vasishta-Vaama Deva-Jaabaali-Kashyapa-Katsyaayana-Suyagina, Goutama and Vijaya Maharshis. The abhishekaas were actually performed by Ritvik Brahmanas, sixteen kanyaakumaaris, while chatur lokapaalaas viz Kubera-Yama-Indra and Varuna of North-South-East-West repectively. sarvausadhirasais cāpi daivatair nabhasi sthitaih, caturhir lokapālaiś ca sarvair devaiś ca samgataih/ chatram tasya ca jagrāha śatrughnah pānduram śubham, śvetam ca vālavyajanam sugrīvo vānareśvarah, aparam candrasamkāśam rāksasendro vibhīsanah/There after was the climatic Shri Rama's Mahaabhisheka in the presence of all the invited guests and Ayodhya vaasis was performed gloriously as all the Celestials including Dikpalakas were enraptured. Then Purohita Vasishthadi Maharshis lifted the 'Brama deva prasaada siddha- ratna shobhita divya dedeepyamaana swarna kireeta'and placed it on Shri Ramna Mastaka as the asheervachanas of the ritvika-panditas with veda mantras. At that very time, Shatrughma hoisted a shveta chhatra, Vaanara raja Sugriva and Rakshasa Raja Vibhishana had activised cool sweeps of chaamaraas. mālām įvalantīm vapusā kāncanīm satapuskarām, rāghavāya dadau vāyur vāsavena pracoditah/ sarvaratnasamāyuktam maniratnavibhūsitam, muktāhāram narendrāya dadau śakrapracoditah/ prajagur devagandharvā nanrtuś cāpsaro gaṇāḥ, abhiṣeke tad arhasya tadā rāmasya dhīmataḥ/ Deva Raja Indra prerita Vayu Deva had then gifted a 'suvarnamaya deeptimati ratna yukta mani mukta maala' to Shri Rama. Coinciding with Rama Rajyaabhisheka, Deva Gandharva Gaana yukta- Apsarasa nritya sammaanas were offered. At the Rajyaabhisheka muhurta, Prithvi Devata was full of greenery in the dhaanya pradeshaas, vrikshas were replete with sugandha pushpaas and madhura phalas and mayura hamsa nrtityas were graced. Maha Raja Shri Rama made 'daana pushkalas' of lakhs of go-ashva-gaja-'bahu mulya vastra- mani suvarnaabharanas' to 'brahmana-pandita- muni pungavaas' besides to taditara prajaaneekas too. Shri Rama then gifted to Sugriva a priceless and lustrous 'suvarna haara' studded with divya Pushparaga, Neela, Vaidurya,, Vidruma, Muktha, Marakatha, Vajra, Gomedha, Manikyas. Vaali Putra Angada gifted suvarna bhuja keertis as similarny studded with nava ratnas. Subsequently Shri Rama gifted the 'muktaahaara' which Vayu Deva had gifted to him to Janaka nandini. Devi Sita then kept on thinking of a suitable souvenir to offer to Hanuman and gazed at Shri Rama as the latter exclaimed whether she was not contented with the celestial presentation by Vayu Deva himself. She had truly kept Rama in suspense for a while and finally presented the 'muktaahara' to Hunuman as being the symbol of tejas- dhriti-yasha-chaturata-shakti- vinayata-neeti-purushartha- paraakrama- uttama buddhi- to the sadguna sampanna and vidyaamaan to Vayu Putra! Later on Shri Rama presented appopriate souvenirs to the various other vanara pramukhas and also requested Angada to hand over his suitable mementos all the Vanaras. Then the never tired Shri Rama embraced Rakshasa Raja Vibhishana for his outstanding services both during the 'maha samgrama' as a true friend, philosopher and guide and thereafter too as an everlasting his closest associate for times to come. Further on he endeared the Riksha Raja Jambavan like wise for this and subequent yugaas as well. There after Dvivida-Mainda- Neelaadi maha vaanara yoddhas for their unimaginable contributions rendered to the cause of 'dharma vijaya'. Subsequently Sugriva and Vibhishana returned back to their respective Kingdoms. Shri Rama then announced Bharata as the Yuva Raja and repeated his celebrations too albeit with lesser pomp. rājyam daśasahasrāni prāpya varsāni rāghavaḥ, śatāśvamedhān ājahre sadaśvān bhūridakṣiṇān/ ājānulambibāhuś ca mahāskandhaḥ pratāpavān, lakṣmaṇānucaro rāmaḥ pṛthivīm anvapālayat/Shri Raghunatha having thus accomplished the Kingdom had occupied the simhasana for eleven thousand years and performed hundred ashmamedha yagjnaas, besides Poundareeka- Vaajapeyaadi yagjnaas too. Shri Rama was an adviteeya aajaanu bahu shareera, with vishaala vakshasthala and along with Lakshmanaa too with similar physical and mental faculties. During his everlong sovereignty, Rama's prajaaneka was even contented, with 'sasya shyamalas', with timely rains, with quietude and tranquility, with none of jantu-sarpa-chora baadhas or of 'adyaatmika- aadhi bhoutika- and aadhi daiyika taapatrayas. [Adhi Bhoudika or Ailments of Physical

Nature; Adhyatmika or of Mental-Psychological Nature; and Adhi Daivika or of Natural Calamities like Earth quakes, floods, lightnings etc. beyond human control] sarvam muditam evāsīt sarvo dharmaparo 'bhavat, rāmam evānupaśyanto nābhyahimsan parasparam/ āsan varṣasahasrāṇi tathā putrasahasriṇaḥ, nirāmayā viśokāś ca rāme rājyam praśāsati/ The sarva prajaaneka under Rama Rajya was free from chora bhaya, anartha kaaryas, and sarvaarogya and sarva santushtata. During his sovereignty there was the predominance of dharma-nyaaya paraayanata and of sahasra varsha jeevana- sahasrs putra poutra praapti, with little awareness of diseases or cryings. Ramo Ramo Rama iti prajaanaama bhavan kathaah, Ramabhutam jagadbhyud Rameraajyam prashaasati/ All during Shri Rama's shashana kaala, all across the prajaavarga, only Rama-Rama- Rama naama-charcha-chintana as SARVAM RAMA MAYAM!

[Brief Vishleshana on Rama Rajya from Agni Purana: Rama Rajya: The perception, as to how a King should govern his Kingdom and the Subjects, was illustrated by Lord Rama to Laksmana. Agni Purana has described Rama's Percepts of an Ideal King: A King has to create wealth, increase it, protect it, and donate it. He should be humble-the humility arising out of victory, essentially after defeating the human senses of revenge, anger and retribution. He should be strong, magnanimous and forgiving, kind and protective. His support to the inferior and the needy is as significant as to punish and uproot the wicked and harmful. The human vices of greed, lust, dishonesty are but the reflections of a sick mind, which has no conviction or courage or helpfulness to the needy. Rama also advised considerable patience to deal with the timid, haughty and hurtful as these are indeed the traits of a villian. Once there is no ray of remorse and there is no trace of recovery from the pent-up senses of ego, impoliteness and audacity, then the time to end the culprit has arrived.]

VAMLIKI RAMAYANA PHALA SHRUTI

Dharmyam yashasyamaayushyam ragjnyaam cha vijayaavaham, aadikaavyamidam chaarsyam puraa Vaalmikinaa kritam/ Yah shrunoti sadaa loke narah paapaat pramuchyate, putra kaamaascha putraan vai dhanbakaamo dhanaanicha/ Labhate manujo loke shrutvaa Raamaabhishechanam, maheem vijayate rajaa ripumcyaayadhitishthati/ Raghavena yathaa maataa Sumitraa Lakshmanena cha, Bharatenacha Kaikeyi jeeva putrastathaa striyah, bhavishyanti sadaanandaah putra poutra samanvitaah/Shrutvaa Raamaayanamidam deerghamaayuscha vidanti, Ramasya vijayam chemam sarvam klishtakarmanah/ Shrunoti ya idam kaavyam puraa Valvikinaa kritam, shaddhayaano jitakrodho durgunyastitasyasou/ Pranamya shirasaa nityam shrotavyam khatriyaad dwijaah, aishvaryam putra laabhascha bhavishyati na shamshayah//Ramayanamidam kritstram shravanatah pathatasah sadaa, preeyate statam Ramah, sa hi Vishnuh sanaatanah/Shrutvaa Raamaayanamidam deerghamaayuscha vidanti, Ramasya vijayam chemam sarvam klishtakarmanah/ Shrunoti ya idam kaavyam puraa Valvikinaa kritam, shaddhayaano jitakrodho durgunyastitasyasou/ Ramayanamidam kritstram shravanatah pathatasah sadaa, preeyate statam Ramah, sa hi Vishnuh sanaatanah/

As this glorious Epic of Ramaayana is heard of or read through, one would to be purged and exonerated of sinfulness. By hearing of the Shri Rama Rajyabhisheka Prasakti, one's own desire of 'suputra-dhana-kanaka-vastu prapti' gets fortified. Prithvi Vijaya and Shatru adheenata too become realities, as longevity and noble mindedness, anchored to virtue and justice too. As Devi Kousalya was blessed with Shri Rama-Sumitra with Lakshmana-Kaikeyi with Bharata. Those who devotedly perform the 'pathana-shravana-nidhidhyaasas' of this Adi Kavya are assured of the keerti of contentment of life and of 'vamsha paaramparya'. This is the Ramaneeya Adi Kavya which was scripted by Maharshi Valmiki, yugas ago, delineating the unbelievable and sensational triumph of a Monarch bestowing the enhancement of name and fame of suputra-poutra- praputraas with unique fulfillment of 'saardhaka janma'. Sampurna Ramayana Kavya 'shravana pathanas' of Shri Rama Vijaya Kathaarupa would extend the 'ayurdaaya' by year after year extension till the life time adds up till 'karma saaphalyata' readied for admission to swarga loka. Indeed, Saakshaat Shriman Narayana manifested Himself as Shri Rama, Devi Sita as Maha Lakshmi and Lahshmana as the Adi Sheshu. Shrota Prajaas! May you all be blessed. Do read this Maha Kavya with 'manasphurti bhakti vishvaasa' for the Realisation of the Supreme.

ESSENCE OF VALMIKI UTTARA RAMAYANA (WITH VISHNESHANA SAMHITA)

Contents

Preface

Indtrocuction

Sarga One: Maharshis of fame arrived from chaturdishas to Ayodhya and congratulated Shri Rama who in humility thanked them- yet wondered apart from Ravana amd Kumbhakarna apart, Indrajit was not that distinct. Sarga Two: Maharshi Agastya detailed the family reputation of Indrajit-Ravana- Vishraavaasa -Pulastya Prajapati Sarga Three: Vaishravana Maha Muni, the son of Vaishrava, after thousands of years long tapasya was blessed by Brahma Deva, appointed him as Kubera the fourth loka palaka as Kubera settled at Lanka Puri (p 21) Sarga Four: Agastya then narrated to Rama about the origins and lives of Heti-Vidyutkesha-Sukesha Rakshasaas - [Vishleshana on Madhu Kaitabhas from Devi Bhagavata Purana] (p 23) Sarga Five: Maharshi Agastya detailed the famed Sukeshi Putra's Maalyavaan-Sumali- and Mali who did maha tapasya to Brahma Deva, attained his vara daana of 'ajeyata' and manifested Lankapuri by Vishvakarma. (p 26) Sarga Six: Sukesha putras Maalyavan-Sumali-and Mali having performed long tapasya and achieved Brahma Varaas, became arrogant and ambitious, tormented Devas and even got prepared to attack Vishnu Himself (p 27) **Sarga Seven:** Malyavan the eldest warned Sumali and Maali against attacking Narayana but Sumali having been hurt by Vishnu baanaas fled away but Maali hurt Garuda was finally killed by Vishnu chakra. (p 29) Sarga Eight: Malyavan defeated by Vishnu as Sumaali and rakshasaas shifed to Rasaatala (p 31) Sarga Nine: Vishrava and Kaikasi gave birth to Ravana, Shurpanakha, Kumbhakarna, Vibhishanas as Kubera the cousin, reaches Ravana who out of jealousy decides to perform 'deergha tapsya' at Gokarna (p 33) Sarga Ten: Ravana and his brothers performed tapasya for ten thousand years as Brahma granted Ravana of invincibility except from human beings, Vibhishana to fortify dharmatva, but Kumbhakarna for long sleep due to Vaakdevis's intervention.(p 35) Sarga Eleven: Kubera as per his father's advice leaves Lankapuri for Kailasa and Ravana's Rajya Pattabhisheka - [Vishleshana on the lineage of Kashyapa Vamsha from Brahma Purana] (p 37) Sarga Twelve: Ravana performed the weddings of sister Shurpanakha with Danava Maya's son Mayayi, Maya's daughter Manodari, Vajrajjyala Danaya's daughter with Kumbhakarna and Shailusha gandharva's daughter Sarama with Vibhishana (p 40) Sarga Thirteen: Kumbhakarna's 'maha nidra' attracts attention of 'rishi deva yaksha gandharvas' - Ravana's cruel attack on them- Kubera sends a messenger advising against Ravana's arrogance; but as Kubera highlights nearness to Maha Deva as he too was Shiva bhakta, he killed the emissary- decides killing Kubera too (p 43) Sarga Fourteen: Ravanaasura along with mantris and rakshasa sena attacks Yaksha sena and Dikpati -Dhanapati Kubera and after a remarkable victory seizes pushpaka vimana for ever and returns to Lankapuri (p 44) Sarga Fifteen: Ravanasura along with six mantris and their senaas too attacked Yaksha sena and having succeeded forced entry Kubera Bhavana Dwaara (45) Sarga Sixteen: Dashagriva visited 'Sharavana Sarkandavana' as the pushpaka vimana was halted by Nandeshwara- the angry Rakshasa lifted up the mountain, delighting Mahesha, named him as Ravana and gifted a khadga! (p 47) Sarga Seventeen: Ravana sights Vedavati, a partial form of Maha Lakshmi, performing tapasya for Vishnu- he gets attracted to the tapasvini as she resorted to agnijwalas and curses to take revenge as Sita in next birth [Vishleshana on the Origin and Glory of Nandeshwara from a) Linga and b) Varaha Puranas-[Vishleshana on Ravanasura's Stotra on Maha Deva] (p 54) Sarga Eighteen: Ravana in his pushpaka visited King of Maruds in an yagina as Indraadi Devatas ran off, while Maharshi Samvarta advised not to fight; Ravana with pride returned away as Indraadi Devas gave boons to Maruds.(p 56) Sarga Nineteen: Ravana attacked Ayodhya King Anaranya who dared to face him as Rakshasa veeras were defeated but finally Ravana got victorious, yet Anaranya while falling cursed that Rama would soon kill him (p57) Sarga Twenty: Kalahapriya Narada diverted Ravana's tour to swarga loka to Yamaloka and followed himself to watch the proceedings (p. 59) Sarga Twenty One: As provoked by Narada, Ravana visited Yamaloka, released select pretaatmaas, Yama Dootas attacked the pushpaka vimana damaging it, and Ravana by his paashupataasra destroyed Yama dootaas! (p 61) [Vishleshana on Narakas and possibility

of retribution from a) Brahma Purana and b) Parashara Smriti] Sarga Twenty Two: As per Narada's mischievous advice, Rayana attached Yama Raja who desired to relelease Kaala Danda, but Brahma disapproved and thus Ravana declared victory against all Devas including Yama (p64) Sarga Twenty Three: Ravana visits Rasatala Loka, forges friendship with Nivatakavacha- destroys Kalakeya Daitya who killed Shurpanakha's husband-and attacks Varuna Putras, as Varuna visited Brahma Loka for a 'Sangita Sabha'! (p. 66) [Vishlesanas on Urthva Lokas and Atho Lokas from Brahmanda Purana- Sarga Twenty Four: Ravana concludes his trip to adholokas, picked up youthful women on way and stuffed them in pushpaka with cryings to Lankapuri; on arrival made arrangements for widowed Surpanakha's stay further (p 69) Sarga Twenty Five: Ravana landed at Lankapuri with the kidnapped strees, Vibhishana chided Ravana recalling how their cousin sister Kumbhini was kidnapped by Madhu- Ravana attacked Madhu but she saved Madhu (p 71) Sarga Twenty Six: Provoked by Prakriti Soundarya, Ravana encountered Apsarasa Rambha and forced 'atyaachaara' as her lover Nalakubara, Kubera'son, cursed Ravana never to coerce unwilling woman attracting instant death. (p 73) Sarga Twenty Seven: As Ravana sena attacked Indra loka, the latter got confounded ,reached Vishnu who pumped confidence and Vasu, Rudra, Maruds attacked; Savitra Vasu then killed Sumaali as his Rakshasas ran away (p 76) Sarga Twenty Eight: As Puloma daitya joined Ravana sena, the latter got fortified, yet Indra putra Jayanta joined in- Rudra Marudganaas attacked Meghanaada- Ravana entered as Indra too- mutual maha yuddha gor initiated (p 77) Sarga Twenty Nine: After initial victories of Indra's Deva Sena, Ravana was frustrated, yet Meghanaada advised his father to withdraw from battle and by the aid of his maaya imprisoned Indra and took him to Ravana to Lankapuri.(p.79) Sarga Thirty: Brahma relieved Indra by imprisonment which was a retriburion of Indra's misconduct with Ahalya (p 81) [Refreshed Vishleshana on Indra's misconduct with Ahalya an exemplary Paivrata vide Sarga Forty Eight of Valmiki Baala Ramayana- and Ganesha Purana.] Sarga Thirty One: Rayana -sura along with his mantris and rakashasa sena landed in Kartaveeryaaruna Samrajya for a battle but the latter was out of station, and thus enjoyed Narmada River snanas- Shiva Linga pujas at the banks. (p.86) [Vishleshana on the Haihava Vamsha from Devi Bhagavata Purana- Vishleshana on Narmada's Origin, significant events ascribed to the River and her Mahatmya] Sarga Thirty Two: As Arjuna slowed down Narmada pravaha affecting Ravana's Shiva Linga Pratishthaas, Rayana and nishacharas fought fiercely; Arjuna thrashed Rayana and rakshasas, imprisoned taking them his capital.(p 90) SargaThirty Three: As Ravana and followers were disgraced under leash, Pulastya Brahma requested Karataveerya to free him yet Ravana still desired to pursue his futther escapades with arrogance and 'ahamkaara'. (p.92) Sarga Thirty Four: Despite his humiliation by Kaartaveerya, Ravana reached Vaali busy with Sandhya Vandanas at four oceans yet was inistent as was caught by Vaali who dragged Ravana by shoulders and shamed yet again! (p93) Sarga Thirty Five: Anjaneya, s'janana-shaishavaavastha'- his ability to float even to reach Surya-mistake Rahu as Surya-angry Indra defended Rahu hitting the child with vajrayudhaenraged Vayu stopped breathings of trilokas (p 96) Sarga Thirty Six: Agastya Muni narrates Anjaneya's origin-childhood leelaas- encounter with Surya, Indra's vajra prahara, Vayu Deva stops breathings, Brahma's revival of the child, his Muni's shaapa of forgetfulness (p 100) Sarga Thirty Seven: As Shri Rama was woken up from night long charcha with Agastya by 'Vandee jana' with praises. Then he enters Raja Sabha with Bharata Lakshmana Shatrughna Vibhishana, Sugriva, Hanumans too. (102) Sarga Thirty Eight: As Shri Rama was comfortaly seated in his Raja Sabha, Kings Janaka-Kaikeya Raja-Kashi Rajas arrived to congratulate him and left, while 350 kings of far and near rajyas arrived too in admiration of Rama. (p103) Sarga Thirty Nine: As the hundreds of Kings from far and near gave precious gifts of akshouhini senas, 'dhana dhanyakanaka vaahanaas', Rama was overwhelmed and donated away to Vaanara Veeras with personal attention. (p.104) Sarga Forty: Shri Rama duly performs 'satkaaraas' to Vaanara-Bhalluka-Rakshasaas and provides farewell to them all. (p.105) Sarga Forty One: Rama accepts Kubera's 'pushpaka vimana'-Bharata commends arrival of Rama Rajya already (p.106) [Brief repeat of Agni Purana on Ramarajya] Sarga Forty Two: Shri Rama -Devi Sita's Ashokavani Vihara-Devi Sita's 'garbhini sanketaas'- her desire to Gangaatata vihaara for Maha Muni 'tapo deeksha kaarya darshana' (p 108) Sarga Forty Three: During his converasation with his childhood

select and intimate friends, Rama gathered certain doubts of Devi Sita's conduct due to Rayana's

harassment as were collected from the hearsay gossips of his prajaas. (p 109) Sarga Forty Three and Forty Four: During his conversation with his childhood select and intimate friends, Rama gathered certain doubts of Devi Sita's conduct due to Ravana's harassment as were collected from the hearsay gossips of his prajaas.(p 111) Sarga Forty Six: Excited Sita accompanies Lakshmana to visit Ganga teera Muni ashramas but the latter knew the reality! (p 113) Sarga Forty Seven:Lakshmana facilitated Devi Sita to cross Ganga to the other side and gradually informed of Rama's decision of 'Sita parityaga' due to 'loka nindas' about her morality but assuring Valmiki's personal care.(115) Sarga Forty Eight: As Sita Devi fell unconscious and recovered, Lakshmana tried his best to soothen yet facing the reality she was overwhelmed with grief while Lakshmana departed and she was left dreading her fate ahead! (p 116) Sarga Forty Nine: As informed by muni kumaras, Maharshi with his 'diya drishti' reached the banks of Ganga and brought the forlorn Devi Sita brought to his ashram respectfully entrusting ashrama strees to ensure her comfort. (p117) Sarga Forty Nine: As informed by muni kumaras, Maharshi with his 'diya drishti' reached the banks of Ganga and brought the forlorn Devi Sita brought to his ashram respectfully entrusting ashrama strees to ensure her comfort. (p118) Sarga Forty Nine: As informed by muni kumaras, Maharshi with his 'diya drishti' reached the banks of Ganga and brought the forlorn Devi Sita brought to his ashram respectfully entrusting ashrama strees to ensure her comfort [Vishleshana on Bhrigu Maharshi: in general and from Devi Bhagavata Purana] (p119) Sarga Fifty Two: Recalling Maha Muni Durvasa's vachanas of 'Vamsha Kalyana' with special reference to Rama, Lakshmana faced Rama with trepidation and pacified him of Sita Vivoga to get back near normalcy. (p 122) Sargas Fifty Three and Fifty Four: Having regained semi-normalcy, Rama sought to resume the regular Raja Sabha, recalling the example of King Nriga neglecting his Raja Dharma and was subjected to Vipra Shaapas to be a chameleon for yugas! (123) Sarga Fifty Five: Asked about Ikshvaaku Kings ever busy with Yaginas, Rama cited King Nimi versus Brahmarshi Vasishtha and their mutual curses. (p124) [Vishleshana a) on King Nimi and Brahmarshi Vasishtha vide Devi Bhagavata Purana and b) Nine Yogindras explain to Videha Nimi's spiritual enquiries] Sarga Fifty Six and Fifty Seven: Brahma's varapraapti to King Nimi and Vasishta for Mitra-Varuna 's combined virility due to meeting A Urvashi in a Kumbha- King Pururana of Ikshvakus-Vashishtha' new body in the eyes of Videaha Nimi. [Vishleshanas: on creation of Agasthya and Vasishtha as brothers by MitraVaruna from Urvashi from Matsya Purana] [Vishleshana on Ikshvaaku Vamsha recalled from Essence of Valmiki Bala Ramayana as follows] (p. 125) Sargas Fifty Eight and Fifty Nine: King Yayati's yagina upset as Purohita Vasishtha was late-mutual 'shaapaas' as Yayati was bodyless and Vasishta was 'vayuvileena' - Brahma arranges that joint sperm of Mitra Varunas to revive Vasishta (p 129) Sargas Sixty and Sixty One: Maha Muni Chyavana and followers reach Shri Rama Praja Sabha explaining about the 'atyaachaaraas' on the praja and dharmatmas by Lavanasura by misusing a 'shula' as gifed by Shiva to his devoted father [Vishleshana on Maharshi Chyavana a) Maha Bhagavata Purana and b) Chyavana's encounter with Parrot Kunjal] (p.131) Sargas Sixty Two-Three-and Four: Having enquired of Chyavanaadi Munis about details of misdeeds about Lavanaasura, Rama selected Shatrughna to destroy him, briefing him of minute details and facilitated him with Ayodhya Sena [Vishleshana on Madhu Kaitabhaas vide Devi Bhagavata Purana (p. 134) Sarga Sixty Five: Under Rama's directive left for Lavanasura , Shatrughna reached Valmiki ashram for a night halt and 'aatithya'- Maharshi narrated ancient Ikshvaku King's curse from Vasishtha and and redemption too (p138) Sarga Sixty Six:Coincidentally, Shatrughna was the single witness of the proceedings of Ikshvaaku Vamsha vriddhi of Kusha Lava Janma of Shri Rama-Devi Sita's twin sons at his destined halt at Valkmki Ashrama (p 140) Sarga Sixty Seven: On way to reach the cruel Lavanaasura, Shatrughna enquired of further details of the Asura from Chyanana Muni who detailed that Mandhata of Ikshvakus was killed by Parama Shiva Shula (p 141) Sargas Sixty Eight and Sixty Nine: Having arrived at Madhupuri attacking Lavanasura suddenly, Shatrughna followed Shri Rama Vachanas as the asura was without Shiva Shula but attacked with Vishnu Baana that killed Madhu Kaitabhas (p142) Sarga Seventy: By Ramaanugraha, Shatrughna estabished himself well as the King of Madhuraapuri - administered it very ably for praja soukhya- took a break after fourteen years, sought to return to Ayohodhya (P 145) Sargas Seventy One and Two: King Shatrughna left for Ayodhya after a twelve year gap-reached Vakmiki ashram- got thrilled by Kusha Lava Ramayana 'sangeeta'-took leave of Sita and Valmiki-met Rama who granted a week soujourn (P 146) Sargas Seventy Three and Four: Vriddha brahmana brings his son's dead body to Rama Sabha accusing the King of 'akaala marana'-Narada explains that an ineligible tapasvi as per Scriptures was responsible against varnaashrama dharma! [Vishleshana on a) Yuga Dharmas and b) Chaturvarna Vyavastha as per Manu Smriti] (p 147) Sargas Seventy Five and Seventy Six: As per Narada's advice, Rama by pushpaka searched for a low class tapasvi performing vedokta tapasya and found one Shambuka doing devatva vaanchha tapasya, killed him to revive vipra baalaka's life. (p.150) Sargas Seventy Seven and Seventy Eight: As Shri Rama accepted the divyaabharanas from Agasthya Maharshi, the latter explained how and why those aabharanas were gifted to him by a dead king as had to resort to 'shava bhakshana' was relieved.(p 152) Sargas Seventy Nine, Eighty, Eighty One and Eighty Two: Agastya explains origin of Ikshvaaku Putras- youngest son Danda's Rajya with Purohita Shukracharya-Danda's manabhanga of Acharya putri-Acharya's shaapa of Danda Rajya since turned as dandakaranya- Rama returns back to Ayodhya from Agastyaashrama [Vishleshana on Manu Smriti on Aachaara- Vyavahara-Prayaschittha khandas] vide (p.154)- Sarga Eighty Three: On return to Ayodhya afer killing immoral tapasvi for reiving the dead vipra baalaka threby, Rama proposed Rajasuva Yagina, as appreciative Bharata assured consoloidation of several rajyas thereafter (p 159) Sargas Eighty Four, Eighty Five and Eighty Six: Lakshmana explains the uniqueness of Ashwamedha Yagina and cited the example of Indra's such Yagina relieved of his brahma hatya dosha consequent on his killing Vritraasura a brahmana. (p. 160) Sargas Eighty Seven-Eighty Eight- Eighty Nine and Ninety: Lakshmana re-emphasised the ashvamedha yagina mahatmya by yet another example of King Ila cursed by Maha Deva Himself with monthly change over of purushava and Streetva! (p 163) Sargas Ninety One and Ninety Two: As per Rama's requests, invitees of Co Raja- Maharshi-Brahmana- prajas- Vaanara Rakshasa arrived as elaborate vyavastha of bhojananivasaadis arranged-and 'bhubhramana of Yagjnaashva' initiated (p.168) Sargas Ninety Three and Ninety Four: In the context of Rama's ashvamedha yagina, Maharshi Valmiki arrives with Kusha Lava kumaras as the latter rendered tuneful shaastriya singing of Ramayana in Rama Sabha which thrilled all and Rama too! (p 169) Sargas Ninety Five and Ninety Six: Being pleased with Kusha Lava Ramayana Gaana, Shri Rama calls for Valmiki who certifies their origin and as Devi Sita accompanied him asserts her paativratya in a maha sabha of Tapasvis and public alike. (p 172) Sargas Ninety Seven, Ninety Eight and Ninety Nine: Devi Sita's shapatha grahana and rasaatalala prayesha-Rama's distress and Brahma reminder of Rama as avatara purusha- Rama's long life and several yaginas with Sita's suvarna pratimaglory of Rama Rajya. (p 174) [Vishleshana on Devi Sita's 'Parandhaama' and an over view of termination of Ramaavataara vide Padma Purana in Essence: | Sargas Hundred and Hundred One: At the instance of Bharta's maternal uncle's message, Rama readily agreed to attack Gandharva Desha and following the victory, Bharata kumaras Taksha and Pushkala set up two saamanta rajyas happily! (p.177) Sarga Hundred Two: Eventually, Lashmana Kumaras named Angada and Chandraketu got settled at Andadeeya and Chandrakanta Rajyas (p 179) Sargas Hundred Three and Hundred Four: At the behest of Brahma, Kaala Devata arrives and conveys to Shri Rama in a 'one to one' secrecy that Vishnu as Shri Rama might like to terminate Ramavataara as Rama too agrees (p 180) Sarga Hundred and Five: Even as Kaala Maharshi arrived for Shri Rama for a secret meet but simultanously Durvasa too arrived and embarassed Lakshmana had to hear possible evil forebodings, but Rama just reached Durvasa.(p 182) Sargas Hundred Six and Seven: Being aware of Rama's decision to die, Lakshmana begged Rama to kill him but Rama disowned as that was like killing- Lakshmana stopped his breathing-Rama made Kusha Lavas as independent kings. (p 183) Sarga Hundred Eight: As per 'Ramaagina' Shatrughna too reported to follow Rama- Sugriva Vibhishanas too arrived to follow Rama yet insrtucted that Hanuman- Jambavan- Mainda Dwividas-Vibhishana to remain till Pralaya kaala (185) Sargas Nine and Ten Hundred As 'Ayodhya Purajana' and others desirous of 'Rama Parandhaama Yatra' to River Sarayu, Brahma welcomed Rama as Maha Vishnu while his countless followers were blessed with Sanaanaka Loka Prapti. (p186) Sarga Hundred and Eleven: Sampurna Ramayana's Upasamhara and Mahatmya (p.188)

ANNEXTURE: VISLESHANA SAMHITA OF ESSENCE OF VALMIKI RAMAYANA

PREFACE

Essence of Valmiki Ramayana hereby concludes covering Baala-Ayodhya-Aranya- Kishkindha- Sundara-Yuddha Khandas of Sugar Cane Juice, topped up by this Uttara Ramayana. This prabandha kaavya is a gateway to longevity and prosperity besides being a sin destroyer.

Ramayana is as good as Veda Pathana as vidwan purushas do always read, hear and retrospect about. Its pathana assures 'suputras for putra heenaas' and 'soubhagya to dharma heenaas'. If just one 'shloka pathana' a day or even of one 'charana' would ensure 'paapa naashana'. Indeed this Ramayana Prabandha Kavya yields 'ayurvriddhi' as 'prati dina pathana' would bestow 'paraloka sanmaana'. He or she with seriousness and concentration could read either at 'praatahkala, or madhyaahna or sayam kaala', would remain ever contented. 'Shri Raghu naadha charitra sampurma pathana-shrotra-niddhidhyaasana' ought to bestow Vishnu dhaama .Raghavendra Charitra is the easy passage for accomplishing 'chaturvidha dharmaartha kaama mokshas' in one's own iha janmaa too.

Uttara Ramayana is a recall of the highlights of all the happenings the Sampurana Ramayana depicting Shri Rama as an ideal human being with the maximun forbearance, should and could ever display starting from his ability to learn- practice austerities- utilise the skills aptly in the challenging situations, even to the extent of prolonged sessions of endurance against 'sarva praani vyasanas' of desire-anger- narrow mindeness-eruptions of jealousy, and selfishness and the ever elusive challenge of victory against evil.

Indeed one would have to necessarily sink into the honey pot to really taste the jar as Ramakrishna Parama Hamsa assered. Similarly even merely viewing the Ramayana Kavya should sensirize and tempt to tasting the Juices of the Sugarcane Khandas

Blessed by the time of approval and constant encouragment of Kanchi Swami, HH Vijayendra Saraswati who emboldened me to try the Essence of Valmiki Ramayana translation in English with possible vishleshamas of the relevant situations or the personalities of the yore. Indeed it was his instruction to venture the task which kept me totally occupied for months together. I do confess my shortconings but his inspiration has been the keystone like the squirrel at the proverbial massive task of 'setu bandhana'. Recalling the memories of Maha Swami and HH Jayendra Saraswati, may we have the privilege of dedicating this 'Ramayana Pushpa Gucchha' to HH Vijayendra Saraswati as indeed has been the guide and unique source of motivation.

An Annexture on the 'Vishleshana Samhita' of the Seven Khandas including this Essence of Uttara Ramayana is attached too.

VDN Rao and family

Introduction:

Brahmarshi Narada taught Brahmana Vidyaarthi Pracheta the 'two golden principles of not preaching what he himself would not practise and take to the name and thought of Rama till his death'. The boy learnt the Mantra 'Mara' or to Kill- kill 'ahamkara', 'shadvarga shatrus' of excessive desires, anger, selfishness and avarice, infatuation, ego and jealousy. Constant repetition of 'Mara' turned as 'Rama' gradually developed 'valmikaas' or anthills till his 'atma saakshaatkaara' or Self Realisation and eventually came to be reputed as Valmiki Maharshi. Once when he was bathing in the clear waters of Ganges he sighted two doves while mating but were shot to death by a hunter and the Maharshi cried :maa nishaada pratishthaa tyamagamah shasshyatih samaah, yat krouncha mithunaa -dekam ayadheeh kaama mohitam/ Nishaada! There could never be rest for long years till eternity, for you killed the mating birds unsuspectingly! This is the 'prerepana' or the inspiration of the illustrious scripting of Valmiki Ramayana! Maharshi Valmiki asked Brahmarshi Narada: Konyasmin saampratam loke gunavaan kascha veeryavaan, dharmaginascha kritaginascha veeryavaan,dharmaginascha kritaginascha Satyavaakyo dhridhavtatah' as to who indeed was the Guna- Veerya-Dharmagjna- Kritagjna- Satya Vaadi- Dhridha Sankalpa or of the superior traited- brave- virtuous-ever grateful - truthful and decisive on Earth during the Treta Yuga! Ramayana is relevant now as much as in the past -present and for ever as narrated in Six Khandas or sugar cane stems viz. Baala Khanda-Ayodhya Khanda- Aranya Khanda-Kishkinda Khanda-Sundara Khanda-Yuddha Khanda. Baala Khanda comprises seventy seven Sargas- Ayodhya Khanda one hundred nineteen Sargas-Aranya Khanda has seventy three Sargas-Kishkindha Khanda has sixty seven Sargas-Sundara Khanda comprises of sixty eight Sargas-Yuddha Khanda has one twenty eight Sargas. Addtionally Uttara Khanda has one hundred eleven Sargas.

Retrospective:

Baala Khanda

The overview of Ramayana by Maharshi in his trance- Valmiki Ramayana of 24000 stanzas was sung by Lava- Kusha kumars of 'Shri Rama -Devi Sita' at a Conference of Muni Mandali before Shri Rama------From the Vaivaswa Manyantara to the Ikshvaku Vamsha at Ayodhya till King Dasharatha to Shri Rama-King Dashararatha-Vasishtha- Ministers plan to perform Ashvamedha Yagna and despatch Sumantra the Charioteer request to request Maharshi Rishyashringa- Historic Arrival of Rishyashringa heralding the season to rains- There after Vasishthas gave to the King 'yagina diksha'- removed evil influences - made arrangements of the yagina like architecture, construction and maintenance; groups of jyotishadi vedangas; workforce; nata- naatya -nartaka groups, cooking, culinary, construction of colonies, conference Halls etc. Ashvamedha Yagna executed gloriously- Putra Kaamekshi Yagina- Celestials preparing for arrival of Maha Purusha-Devas and Indra approached Vishnu to desrtoy Ravasnasura as Vishnu said only in human form Rama, Dasharatha's son could to so. At the Yagina, a Maha Purusha emerged from the flames and handed over a 'payasa patra' to Dasharatha to distribute to his three queens as instructed. As Rama-Lakshmana-Bharata-Shatrugnas were born thus, Indra and Devas manifested 'Vaanaraas' including Hanuman with Ashta Siddhis. Dasharatha distributes 'payasa' to queens Koushalya-Sumitra- Kaikeyi -Samskararas to Ramaadi Kumaras; Arrival of Brahmarshi Vishvamitra at Ayodhya to King Dasharatha. Vasishtha assured Dasharatha about Shri Rama's safety in safeguarding the Vishvamitra Yagina as the satisfied King allowed Rama Lakshmanas and teach Bala-Atibala. The trio reached Angamuni Ashram-Sarayu-Ganga confluence at Malada- Kurusha Villages where Indra hi d-the reason was that Indra killed brahmana Vritraasura.-They enter 'Tataka Vana'-Rama Lakshmanas encounter Tataka and Vishmamitra prevails on stree hatya-Vishvamitra teaches most of archery mantras to Rama Lakshmanas-Vishvamitra takes Rama brothers to the 'Vamana Ashrama' -Yagjnas spoilt in other ashramas by Maricha Subahus punished by Rama-'Ashramavashis' conveyed about Janaka's Yagina and Shiva Dhanush- Vishvamitra seeks take heros to Siddhashrama by difficult terrain and explains about adjacent Kusha Desha, King Kushanabha, Apsara daughters and Vayu Deva-By boat from Shonabhadra to Ganges, Vishvamitra explains about flows of Ganges - birth of Skanda- King Sagara's tapasya for sons- queen Sumati begets 60,000 strong sons while Keshini just only Asamanjasa.Sagara planned Ashvamesha yagna, Indra stole the Sacrificial horse- Sumati's strong sons searched bhuloka-and patalas with pomp and noise-Kapila Muni curses the sons in patala to become stones-Asamanjasa goes in search and conveys the result to Sagara who dies- King Asamanjasa gaveup hopes and so does his son Amshuman and the latter's son Dilip. But Bhagiradha takes up the thread and prays to Ganga from skies at Gokarna Tirtha. Bhagiratha standing by foot fingers, invoked Maha Deva-Crossing Ganga, Rama approaching Vaishali asked about Deva Danavas-Having failed to secure Amrit, Diti- daitya motherseeks to destroy Indra- Diti fell asleep unsconcsiously, Indra entered her Garbha with his 'Vajraayudha', saw the fully grown up boy inside ,cajoled him saying 'don't cry, don't cry' and sliced the child into seven parts and further to forty nine sub-parts-Vishvamitra stated that they were at that very place where above instances had occured when there was an Ikshvaaku Kings Kakutstha- Sumati and then proceed to Mithila the kingdom of Janaka Raja!Sumati showed the way to Gautama Ashram en route Mithila.-Entering King Janaka's Yagnyashaala, Vishvamitra introduces Rama Lalshmanas and their acts of glory so far to King Janaka and his Purohita 'Shataananda'-Having congratulated Rama Lakshmanas, Shatananda makes a detialed coverage on the lifestory of Vishvamitra who as a Kshatriya King through tapsyas became a Brahmarshi!King Vishvamitra sighted Shabali Kamadhenu and demands it but was refused; in a battle Shabala smashed thee army but the latter took to severe tapasya. Brahma blesses Vishvavmitra be the status of Maharshi-Trishanku desires to reach swarga being mortal and Vishvamitra creates a mid- sky swarga with his tapo bala; -Ambarisha performs Yagjna at Pushkara but as sacrifice animal was stolen, a 'nara pashu boy' was arranged - Vishvamitra took pity but to no avail; got entangled instead by co-Munis.-Vishvamitra disturbed by 'Menaka' at Pushkara, then shifted to heights of himalayas when 'Rambha' disturbed too-Ultimatelyeven as Indra ever stole his food, Maharshi stopped his breathing but kept on his tapsya on Brahma, and the latter conferred the title of 'Brahmarshi'! Vishmamitra conveys Rama's desire to show Shiva Dhanush and Janaka gives the background of the -Dhanush; King Nimi was gifted Shiva Dhanush at his son Devarata's wedding; Devi Sita as 'Ayonija' as Janaka tills bhuyagina.-Rama lifted up the Shiva Dhanush as if it were a toy, straightened it with great ease, held the middle part, and as though of a child play broke into two pieces. That breaking resulted in earthshaking like reverberations. King Janaka said: Once wedded to Shri Rama, my daughter ought to be proud to his life partner and bring in glory to Janaka vamsha! Brahmarshi said: tathaastu!- King Janaka sent a messenger to King Dasharatha to state: Shri Rama in the midst of all of us had managed the control and breaking of the age old Shiva Dhanush and as per my repeated announcements would like to propose my daughter Devi Sita to Shri Rama in a wedding ceremony and therefore request you to attend the same along with your queens and the entire retenue. Besides Rama and Devi Sita, may we also propose the wedding of Lakshmana with my younger daughter Urmila too- Dasharadha was pleased and addressed Vasishtha and Ministers to leave next morning -Accompanied by Gurus, wives and intimate and other relatives and friends, King Dasharatha was happy and blissful and instructed Sumantra to let the royal treasurer carry surplus funds of cash, jewellery, nine gems ahead and for their safety there ought to be fool proof defence arrange -ments. A four day procession with needed halts on way moved on with plentiful food and drinks. On their arrival at the outskirts of the Kingdom, King Janaka made elaborate reception with music, song, dance and ecstatic welcome showers of flowers-In an open Janaka Sabha, Vasishtha narrated the glory of Ikshvaku Vamsha: Brahma Deva the Swayambhu manifested Marichi, from the latter was born Kashyapa whose son was Vivisvaan as the latter gave birth to Vaivasvata Manu. Manu was the foremost Prajapati and from Manu was born Ikshvaku the first King of Ayodhya. Then were highlighted: Pruthu-Mandhata-Sagara- Bhagiratha- Ambareesha-Nahusha-Yayati-Naabhaga- Ajaand Dasharatha- King Janaka explained about his vamsha from renowned King Nimi, whose son named Mithibeing the ever first Janaka as the 'vamsha' known as of Janakas. Then he introduced Kushadhvaja his younger brother desirous of getting his two daughters to Bharata and Shatrughna and declared Mandaveeka and Shutakeerti as their respective wives. respectively.- Public Declarations were made in the presence of Kings, Maharshis, and the public and hectic preperations were made; The vivahika vedika was got ready befitting the status and magnificence of two great Kings. Then Janaka welcomed the brides and bridegrooms.-- Afer the festivities concluded, guests were shovered with precious gifts, the groom's party moved back on the return journey but a terrible sand storm was faced. Parashu Rama arrived shouting 'Rama Rama' with terrible anger as the Shiva Dhanush was broken. Dasharatha tried to pacify but with anger, handed over Vishnu Dhanush and challenging Rama to break it if at all possible. An angry Rama not only lifted the dhanush as though Vishnu did against Madhukaitabha daityas but stated that with that very dhanush he could as well demolish Parashu Rama too! An utterly humiliated Parashu Rama was then instructed to return to Mahendra Mountain for ever! - As the rerurn procession finally reached the city of Ayodhya, it was ready with dhwaja-patakas, welcome sounds of drums and music, dances and decoratons. Dasharatha along with his sons and new daughters-in-law along with the Queens made an auspicious entry. Later, Raja Kumaras shared royal responsibilities. Rama and Sita became famed as Vishnu and Lakshmi.

Ayodhya Khanda

Considering Shri Rama's eligibility for Ayodhya's Yuvarajatva, King Dasharatha convenes a durbar meeting -King Dashatatha secures public approval for Rama's Yuvarajatva-Dasharatha discusses the details of Rama's Rajyabhisheka with Vasishtha and asks Rama to attend the Rajya sabha- Rama seeks his mother Devi Koushlya's blessings and endears Lakshmana-Dasharatha and Vasishtha ask Rama and Sita to observe fasting before the celebrations of Yuvarajatva- Ayodhya public's joy and pre-celebrations-Villianous Manthara gets upset on Rama's Yuvarajatva and reaches Kaikeyi and provokes and poisons Kaikeyi's mindset suggesting Rama's Vana Vaasa and Bharata's elevation as Yuvaraaja- Fully poisoned by Mandhara, Kaikeyi enters 'Kopa griha'- the symbolic AngerChamber-King Dasharatha seeks to pacify her beloved queen Kaikeyi-Kaikeyi seeks to remind of Dasharatha's promise of granting her of two boons at a battle as she saved him, demands Rama's 'vana vaasa'/ Bharata's Rajyabhisheka-Dasharatha's remorse at Kaikeyi's undue demands even having admitted the boons and pleads with Kaikeyi not to insist but in vain - Dasharatha's intense cryings and persistent pleadings with Kaikeyi but she argued in the name of dharma citing the tradition of truthfulness of Ikshvaku ancestors- Kaikeyi's stubbuornness to relent - Vashishta Maharshis intervetion fails and Charioteer Sumanra asked for Rama's arrival at the King's Palace-Sumanta arrives at Rama's palace while Rama and Lakshmana on the way to King's Palace enjoying public's joy at Rama's elevation-Excellent preparations in the city for the celebrations by the following day- Rama witnessing heart broken Dasharatha and Kaikeyi's rude intervention demanding

Rama's Vana Vaasa for fourteen years in prscirbed dress code and of Bharat's Kingship-Rama agrees to her terms and proceeds to Kouashalya to break the news - Koushalya's sudden and of tragic news leads to agony and standstill senselessness as Rama seeks to pacify-Lakshmana gets agitated at the turn of the events and so did Kousalya but Rama assuages their badly hurt as Rama explains that 'pitru vaakya paripaalana' ought to be his life's motto and dharma. Rama asked Lakshmana to remove all the preparatory materials like the vessels etc. meant for his Rajyabhisheka since that would be unwanted then-Reacting to remove the material for Rajyabhishaka, Lakshmana argued whether the decicision was correct, but Rama once again reiterated as irrevocable - Devi Kousalya, reacting sharply about Rama's decisiveness to undergo vana vaasa resolves to follow him, and Rama invoked the argument of her preserving Pativratya and should not desert her husband-With great difficulty, Rama finally convinces Kousalya to let him leave for 'vana vaasa' and she relented finally.- As Rama left Kousalya with mutual anguish, the Public too was unaware of the tragic developent, much less Devi Sita who was horrified-Devi pleads her accompanying Rama for the forest life -Rama dissuades Sita to accompany him for Vana Vaasa-Sita invokes her 'Paativratya Dharma' and insists- Devi Sita sobs heavily and Rama had to finally concedes-Lakshmana too insists on accompanying Rama- latter agrees; Rama desires of offering charities- Sita Rama's charity to Vasishtha Kumara Sujyagjna and wife, brahmanas, brahmacharis, servants- Sita Rama Lakshmanas visit Kaikeyis's palace to meet Dasharatha as Nagara vaasis weep away -Sita Rama Lakshmanas approach Dasharatha with queens before vana vaasa; the latter swoons and recovers and embraces them and swoons again-Sumantra criticizes Kaikeyi as the latter justifies-Dasharatha instructs treasure to be sent along with Sumatra for initial phase of vana vaasa; Rama Lakshmans dressed up in valkals as Vishtha rejects Sita wearing that dress- Dasharatha too rejects Sita wearing Valkava vastras even as Kaikeyi was unhappy, but Rama approves--Dasaratha breaks into cryings, Sunantra arrives with the chariot, Sita receives 'pati seva upadesha' from Kousalya, Rama Sita Lakshmanas bid farewell to all - Sita Rama Lakshmanas perform pradakshinas to Dasharathaand the mothers, Sita Rama Lakshmanas alight the chariot and the crowds get terribly agitated-As the unruly crowd was interrupting the Chariot several times, the citizens were crying away aloud shatterring the skies, especially the women folk-King Dasharatha cries and swoons for Rama, distances from Kaikeyi's palace and shifts to Kousalya's-Maha Rani Kousalya's agony asDevi Sumitra assuages Kousalya's tormented psyche-Rama appeals to the Ayodhya public not to hurt Dasaratha or Bharata- the elders of the public insist on following Rama upto Tamasa river banks- Rama Sita Lakshmana's over night stay at Tamasa banks- they leave ealiest unnoticed- public felt bad-Ayodhya elders and women got disturbed inability to see off Rama to the deeper forests crossing Tamasa- Ayodhya woman folk cry away Rama Sita Lakshmanas for further 'vana vaasa'- Public of Kosala Janapada throng at the Chariot carrying Ramas whoalso cross Veda shruti-Gomati-Skandika rivers- Ramas arrive at Shringavera pura on the banks of Ganga- stay overnight and Nishada Raja Guha welcomes them-Lakshmana - Guha feel and exchange expressions of sadness-Guha navigates Sita Rama Lakshmanas across Ganga- Rama bids farewell to the reluctant Sumamtra- Sita's intense prayers to the Sacred Ganga- after crossing Ganga reach Vatsa desha for night halt- As Rama asks Lakshmana to return back to Ayodhya at least now but Lakshmana protests-Ramas reach Bharadvaaja ashram and the Maharshi advises them to settle at Chitrakoota mountain - while they cross Yamuna from Prayaga- Sita prays to Yamuna- their overnight stay at otherside of Yamuna-Ramas reach Chitrakoota-Maharshi Valmiki at ashram- Maharshi teaches Lakshmana Vaastu Shastra- Sumantra reaches Ayodhya- 'aarta naadaas' by public and Dasharatha and queens-Sumantra conveys Shri Rama- Lakshmanas's messages to the parents-Condition of the Ayodhya public and at the state of Rama's distresses Dashatratha extremely- Anguish of Devi Kouasalya sought to

be assuaged by Sumatra-Kousalya's crying protests against Dasharatha-Regretful Dasharatha with folded hands and prostrations seeks pardon from Kousalya-Dasaratha's confession to Kousalya about his youthful blunder of killing a Muni Kumara - Having revealed details of the Muni hatya, the helpless cryings of his blind parents - Vriddha Muni's curse that Dasaradha would die in son's absence-Dasharatha -Pursuant to Dasharatha's death, his queeens cried out, deathwise-praises and music followed-Queens, Ministers and staff- and public vision the body as retained in oil vessels-Maharshis assemble with Purohita Vasishtha to decide on the successor Kingship-Vashishtha despaches messengers to Kaikeya kingdom to bringBharata along with Shatrughna.- As messengers arrive at Bharata's place, the latter felt 'dussvapnas' early morning-Ayodhya's messengers arrive at Bharat's maternal uncle's palace, bring gifts and message to return-Bharata Shatrughnas arrive at Ayodhya and found the city as silent and listless!- Bharata reaches Kaikeyi palace and hears the news of his father's demise and Rama Sita Lakshmana 'vana vaasa' and Bharata's rajyaabhisheka!- The rattled up Bharata protests violently and detests- Kaikeyi's evil mindedness-Bharata's open protests against Kaikeyi-Bharata's 'shapatha' / swearing in the presence of Kousalya-Raja Dasharatha's 'antyeshthi' / 'dahana samskaara'-Bharatha performs Dashartha's 'shraaddha karma' and 'maha daanaas' - collection of ashes and 'nimaijana' - 'daaha samskaara'-Shatrugna attacks the villainess Kubja, the servant maid of Kaikeyi, to senselessness and spares her death! Ministers propose Bharata's 'rajyabhisheka'- but the latter proposes only temporary authority as Shri Rama ought to be the real King-Bharata initiates the constuction of comfortable 'Raja Marga' from Rivers Sarayu to banks of Ganga-As 'mangala vaadyas' were heard on a morning, Bharata felt uneasy and asked Vasishtha to come to Rajya sabha with Ministers and officials- Bharata disagrees with Vasishtha that kingship was Rama'sbirth right and only a passing solution now-Bharata's vana yatra and night halt at Shringaverapura -Nishaada Raja hosts Bharata's overnight stay before crossing Ganga the next day- Bharata and Nishada Raja exchange views of Rama's magnanimity-Nishada Raja extols about the nobility and devotion to Rama of Lakshmana-On hearing details of Rama Sita Lakshmanas, Bharata swooneddown, Shatrugna and the mothers cried away, and persisted on the details of the threesome regarding their food and sleeping patterns-Guha showed the bed of 'kusha grass' by which Sita Ramas slept on that night and the 'valkala vastras' left behind-Bharata accompanied by sena, mothers, Munis and public arrives at Bharadvaaja ashram-Bharata visits Bharadwaja 'ashram'- The Maharshi bestows Bharata and entire entourage including vast army a heavenly hospitality-Bharata introduces his three mothers and Bharadvaja blesses them and indicates the way to Chitrakoota- Bharata's Chitrakoota yatra described-Shri Rama shows the beauty and grandeur of Chitrakoota to Sita-Shri Rama displays the exquisiteness of River Mandakini to Sita-As the wild beasts and birds running astray of Chitrakoota, Lakshmana went up atop a shaala tree as an army was nearing and Lakshmana was angered-As Lakshmana saw Bharata approaching, he got angrybut Rama cooled him down-Bharata and advance party located Rama's 'kuteera' and visited the details inside -Bharata Shatrughnas locate Rama, prostrate and crying- Shri Rama having enquired Bharata's welfare gave elaborate lessons of Kshatra Dharmas on his own- Rama asks Bharata the reason of his arrival as Bharata requests him to return and accept Kingship; but Rama refuses-Bharata requests Rama to reconsider Kingship and informs King Dasharath's sad demise-Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas cry away at father's death-offerings of tarpana and pinda daana - With Vasishtha ahead the three Devis arrive, all the sons prostrate the mothers and Vasishtha too-Bharata broaches about Rama's return & kingship -Bharata again pesters Rama to assume kingship-Shri Rama instructs Bharata to return to Ayodhya at once-Muni Jaabali supports Bharata and his argument that sounded spread of 'nastikata'-Rama asserts that karma and rebirth are the corner stones of 'Astikata'-Vasishtha traces the geneology of IkshvakuVamsha and asks to uphold its fame and assume Kinghip as

the eldest son of Dasharatha-Shri Rama reiterates that 'Pitru Agjna' was paramount yet doubled edged that he should undergo vana vaasa and Bharata should rule for that period! -As Bharata was not ready yet to return to Ayodhya, Shri Rama grants his 'charana paadukaas' and finally bid farewell to Bharata and the entourage-Bharata and the entourage reach back toMaharshi Bharadwaja's ashram and return to Ayodhya-On return to Ayodhyam Bharata realises the sad state of the city of Ayodhdya-Bharata instals Shri Rama 'Paadukaas' at Nandigrama and administers Ayodhya from there-All the Rishis of Chitra koota commenced leaving the place due to problems of Rakshasas-Sita Rama Lakshmanas too decided to leave Chitrakoota and proceeded to Maharashi Ashram of Atri and Maha Pativrata Anasuya-Devis Anasuya and Sita exchange views- Anasuya gives gifts to Sita- Sita describes her 'swayamvara'-Thus Devi Sita having accepted the gifts from Devi Anasuya reaches Shri Rama for overnight stay at Atri Maharshi Ashram for further journey.

Aranya Khanda:

Shri Rama - Devi Sita-Lakshmanas felicitated in 'Muni ashramas' - As Rama-Sita -Lashmanas proceeded into the thick forest, they encounterd Rakshasa Viraath- Exchange of hot words by Rama Lakshmanas with Rakshasa Viraatha-Rama Lakshmanas kill Rakshasa Viraatha--Shri Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas visit Sharabhanga Muni's ashrama and after 'atithya' the Muni departs for Brahma Loka- Vaanaprastha Munis approach Shri Rama for safety from Rakshasaas and Rama Lakshmanas assure and pacify them Shri Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas reach the ashram of Muni Suteekshna who offers 'atithya' overnight- Next early morning Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas exit Suteekshna ashram-Gatheringa of innocent commoners and Munis seek protection from frequent- attacks by Rakshasaas and Devi Sita enumerates the tenets of dharma-Rama Lakshmanas assure and make 'pratiginas' of Kshatriya kula duty to safeguard the tenets of Dharma-Rama Sita Lakshmanas visit Panchapsara Tirtha and Maandikarana ashrama and after visiting other Muni Ashramas too, visit the ashram of the brother of Agastya Maharshi who lauds the glory of Agastya- Rama Lakshmanas visit Agastya Maharshi and after welcoming them, Agastya gifts 'diyvaastras'-Maharshi Agastya complements Devi Sita as a 'pativrata' and directs-ama Lakshmanas to construct Panchavati Ashram-On the way to Panchavati, Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas meet the Great Grudhra Raja Jatayu who vividly explains the family background of Jatayu-The compact and vastu based 'Panchavati Parnashaala' of Rama-Sita- Lakshmanas reside comfortably-Happy living by Rama Sita Lakshmanas at Panchavati through Hemanta Ritu and Godavari Snaanaas-Rakshasi Shurpanakha arrives at Panchavati, introduces, proposes to Rama to wed as his wife-Shurpanakha compromises to wed Lakshmana as he was single there but the latter cuts off her ears and nose-Khara incensed the treatment to sister and despatches fourteen rakshasaas to kill Rama Lakshmanas-Shri Rama devastates fourteen followers of Khara- Shurpanakha reaches brother Khara, conveys Rama's killing fourteen rakshasas, provokes Khara to seek revenge-Khara Dushana Rakshasaas along with fourteen thoushand sena attack Panchavati of Ramas-Khara then noticed dusshakunas like donkey brayings and squeaks of vultures from the sky, but having ignored these, Khara reaches Shri Rama 'ashrama' -As the dusshakunas loomed large, Rama hopes for the doom of Rakshasaas and victory for himself- as a precaution, he asked Lakshmana to hide Devi Sita in a cave and got readied for the battle-Rakshasaas attack Sri Rama, deva gandharva rishis apprehensive, but the invinvible Shri Rama devastates thousands of rakshasaas single handed-Senapati Dushana and thousands of rakshasaas devastated by singular Shri Rama-Trishira, Khara Maha Rakshas's Senapati exterminated-Fierce battle between Shri Rama and Khara Rakshasa by the usage of their expertise in dhanur vidya-Exchange of heated arguments between Shri Rama and Khara Rakshas whose mace attack defended by Rama -Shri Rama the action hero hits Khara Rakshasa to death and affirms

victory celebrated by Celestials and Rishis- Akampana Rakshasa reaches Ravanasura to Lanka and poisons the latter's mind hatch a vicious plot to lure Devi Sita by a deer impersonted by Mareecha-Shurepanakha hurt physically with mutilated ears and nose arrives grievously at Maha Ravana Sabha:-Highly alarmed and frustrated Shurpanakha incites and ignites her brother Rayanasura-Rayana was inquisitive from Shupanakha about details of Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas as the latter asks Sita to be abducted and wedded to Sita ,Ravanasura once again approaches Mareecha once again to seek the latter's help-Ravanaasura once again seeks the help of Mareecha to kidnap Devi Sita-'The self shaken up Mareecha appeals to Ravana to very kindly withdraw the plan in view of Rama's extraordinary mental acumen and physical energy-Maareecha explains his erstwhile experience of Vayavyastra and requests Rayana to pardon him-Maarecha seeks to further convince Ravanaasura as Mareecha enterered having assumed the form of a Maya Harina or a feigned deer-Ravanasura resents Mareecha's argumentative pattern and commands Mareecha to get involved in the mission of 'Sitaapaharana' while detailing the plan of abduction-Maareecha issues ultimate warning to the doom of Rayana and disaster of Lanka Kingdom-Rakshasa Maareecha forced by Ravanaasura to assume the deer form of glitter and attract Sita's attention-Even as Lakshmana doubted about the Maya Mriga. Sita was bent to secure it alive or dead and Rama had to yield to her intense wish proceeded with the chase, while entrusting responsibility to Lakshmana. chase.-Shri Rama kills Mareecha, no doubt, but the latter shouts for help in Rama's tone causing gitters to Sita-As expected, Lakshmana was taken aback by Sita's insinuations against him who was pressurised to reach Shri Rama-Ravanaasura approaches Devi Sita under Sadhu's garb, familiarises and mesmorises her-Devi Sita introduces herself as the daughter of King Janaka and the husband of the valiant Shri Rama and the cause of their arrival; Ravana proposes to Devi Sita as a co-wife and the latter reacts haughtily-Ravanasura explains his own background and valor and Devi Sita ignores and discounts-Ravanasura forcibly abducts Devi Sita who cries away helplessly but Maha Jataayu grudhra tries to intervene and seeks to help-Jataayu warns Ravanasura to withdraw from the evil act of 'Sitaapaharana'and otherwise be ready for encounter-Fierce battle between Jataayu and Ravanasura but Ravana kills Jatayu-Thus Ravanasura finally concludes 'Sitaapaharana' as Devi Sita was kept under vigilant custody-Rattled and shocked Devi Sita shouts being highy critical of Ravana and his heinous actions- As Devi Sita sought to drop down her jewellery and dress to notify Rama Lakshmanas, Rayana kept vigil by five monkeys, and at Lanka in antahpura by eight rakshasis -Ravanasura takes Devi Sita to his antahpura and seeks to pressurise her to become his queen-Having suffered Ravana's entreaties, Sita intensified her thoughts on Shri Rama and praised him while angry Ravana instructed rakshasis to take Sita away to Ashoka Vatika and frieghten her to surrender-Shri Rama having killed Maareecha returns while noticing bad omens gets concerned about Devi Sita- On a run back to the Ashram, Rama Lakshmanas were subject to innumerable kinds of doubts and reaching there were not able to see Devi Sita and got stunned and terrified- Rama Lakshmans recalled the events before the latter left for Rama at the false shouts of the dying Maareesha and Rama was truly upset by Lakshmana's grave indescretion-Shri Rama's deep distress at Devi Sita's disappearance- desperate search for her even addressing animals and vegetation around the ashram in frustration-Shri Rama and Lakshmanas got intensely frustrated with their extensive search for Devi Sita-Rama's anguish - his sustained efforts with Lakshmna- following Maya Mriga's southern direction- recognising fallen Sitas's dried up flowers and ornamentsand signs of a recently fought battle!-Lakshmana seeks to cool down the unbelievable rage and anger and recounts the fundamenatal features of self restraint while getting ready to display his outstanding bravery in human like and Gods like battle!-Rama Lakshmanas witnessed the grievously hurt Maha Grudhra Jataayu who fought for Devi Sita being kidnapped Mahaasura Ravana the Lankeshwara-Shri Rama

performs the 'dahana samskaara' of Jatayu -Nasty encounter with Athomukha and blind Rakshasi Kabandha who caught Rama Lakshmanas by its long and surrounding arms within a huge embrace seeking to eat their flesh-By the enormous force of their sheer grit and decisiveness and of mutual consultations, Rama Lakshmanas severed both the mighty shoulders of Kabandha-Tormented by Sthula Rishi, Karbandha got 'vikrita rupa' but he performed tapsya to Brahma for deerghaayu, attacked Indra and vajraayudha's hit raised his stomach over body, now relieved by Rama Lakshmanas - As Kabandha Rakshas's mortal remains secured 'daah samskara' by Rama Lakshmanas, his celestial form reveals details of Ravana vs Sita and advises Rama's friendship with the exiled Vaanara King Sugriva -Kabandha in his celestial form showed the way to Rishyamooka Parvata and Pampa Sarovara, as also of Matanga Muni Ashrama-Rama Lakshmanas proceed towards Matanga Vana and meet Tapasvini Shabari awaiting Shri Rama Lakshmanas all along her life with indefinable devotion.-Having witnessed the glorious departure of Maha Yogini to Bliss, Rama Lakshmanas proceeded along with Pampasarovara in their 'Sitaanveshana'towards Gandhamanana Mountain and meet Sugriva.

Kishkindha Khanda:

On reaching Pampa Sarovara Rama was excited at its natural grandeur especially Sita's absence, Lakashmana solaces- as they approached Rishyamooka, Vanaras and Sugriva. As Sugriva and follower vaanaraas were still wondering, Hanuman felt convinced and confident and directed Shri Rama Lakshmanas to appoach their head Sugriva the fugitive King of Vaanaras. Hanuman reached Rama Lakshmanas in a Tapasvi form, complemented Rama Lakshmanaas by their appearance as Hanuman was pleased; Lakshmana briefed Hanuman about their purpose of 'Sitaanveshana' and seeking Sugriva's close friendship and active assistanace- Hanuman's assurance for unswerving and dutiful cooperation. Firm establishment of Agni Saakshi Friendship of Shri Rama and Sugriva and Shri Rama vows to kill Vaali to pave the way to Sugriva for unopposed Kingship of Vaanara Rajya .As Sugriva showed golden ornaments secured by his followers as Devi Sita threw away down from Ravana's donkey's chariot vimana, Rama readily recognised, cried away and got intensed up with anguish. As Shri Rama expressed his anguish and anger too, Sugriva seeks to assuage Rama's inner feelings and assures 'karya siddhi' finally; reciprocatively Rama assures Sugriva to regain his kingdom and wife too! Rama assures help in killing Vaali and enquires of Sugriva about the details of their mutual enmity. Sugriva then provides an account of the root causes of his antagonism with his elder brother. As Sugriva recounted as to how Vaali displayed his vengeance against him, Sugriva describes Vaali's invincibility, his extermination of Daitya Dundhubhi, throwing off his dead body off to Matanaga Muni, curse of barring entry of Rishyamooka-Rama's test of throwing off Dundubhi's skeleton. Shri Rama's feat of destroying Seven Taala Trees in a row- Sugriva's challenge to Vaali but gets beaten as Sugriva runs to Rishyamooka- Sugriva vilaapa-Rama explains the problem of Vaali Sugriva identity. Much unlike Sugriva got thrashed by Vaali last time, the party of Rama-Sugriva party proceeded again, enjoyed Prakriti Soundarya back to Kishkindha and secures blessings from Sapta Janaashrama Muni. Fully backed by Shri Rama's confident assurances of victory, Sugriva challenged Vaali for a repeat encounter of 'dwandva yuddha' amid thunderous shoutings. Enraged by the repetitive challenges echoing the 'Rani Vaasa', Vaali got ready for the battle but Tara Devi entreated Vaali for a truce of mutual peace, friendship with Rama and 'yuva rajatva' to Sugriva. Ignoring away Devi Tara's earnest appeals for amity with Sugrivas-Ramas, haughty Vaali resorts to battle with Sugriva, gets grievously hurt by Rama baana and succumbs to earth. Falling before death, Vaali heavily criticizes Rama for his stealthiness, undeserved glory, falsity, and sheer selfishness colliding with Sugriva only to recover Devi Sita, which he too could have with bravery. Shri Rama,

having let Vaali steam off his anguish from his deadly fall, replies point by point and fully justifying action in releasing his frightful arrow, yet with sympathy. Vaali calls Devi Tara and Angada Kumara near to his death bed cryingly and Devi Tara's 'vilaapa'. Hanuman seeks to assuage Devi Tara's extreme distress while the latter declared her intention of 'Sati Saha Gamana'. Vaali terminates his life after conveying his death bed wishes about Sugriva and Angada. With Tara's the unbearable distress, Vaali laid down his life. Realising anguish of Tara Devi, Sugriva reacts severely and requests Shri Rama to allow him to die while Tara too requests so- Rama seeks to assuage them. Rama Lakshmanas pacify Sugriva, Tara, and Angada- Vaali's 'dahana samskara/ jalaanjali' by Angada. Hanuman requests Rama Lakshmanas to witness Rajyaabhishakas of Sugriya and Angada, Rama assents and blesses but not by entering Kishkindha. Rama Lakshmana's diologues at their of Prasravana Giri Cave. Shri Rama describes to Lakshmana about the features of Varsha Ritu. Hanuman prevails on Sugriva to initiate action for Sitaanveshana even before Rama's reminder and instruct Neela Vaanara to assemble the Vanara soldiers to group together. Sharad Ritu Varnana- Shri Rama instructs Lakshmana to reach King Sugriva. Lashmana proceeds to Sugriva's Rajya Bhavana at Kishkindha with anger yetrestrained by Rama's convincing, meets Aangada who in turn seeks Sugriva to some how pacify. Hanuman sincerely advises Sugriva to withstand Lakshmana's anger besides consolidate action towards 'Sitaanveshana'. Even admiring Kishkindha's beauty, Lakshmana seeks to enter Sugriva's Inner Chamber by resounding his dhanush and the frightened Sugriva advises Tara's help to cool him down convicinigly even before his appearance. Sugriva faces the wrath of Lakshmana and Tara continues to soothen Lakshmana by her tactical talks. Thus Tara managed the anger of Lakshmana convincingly and praised of Rama and his stature vis-à-vis that of Sugriva- Sugriva expresses of Rama's magnificence and his mere supplementary assistance. Sugriva instructs consolidating Vanara Sena and proceeds to Kishkindha and inform compliance to him. Lakshmana returns to Rama as accompanied by Sugriva as he was despatched to ascertain as to why Sugriva did not action for Sitanveshana yet! As Shri Rama had sincerely thanked the efforts in mobilising an ocean like Vanara Sena to fight his battle against Ravanasura, the grateful Sugriva returns back for further action. Now that the full backing of Vanara Sena along with enthused dedication of 'Swami Karya', Rama instructed Sugriva to take off the efforts of 'Sitaanveshana' in the eastern direction. Sugriva as totally absorbed in the singular task of 'Sitanveshana' and having already despatched one force of Vanaraas to 'purva disha' now forwards another batch to 'dakshina disha'. Sugriva who despatched another strong contingent of Vanara Warriors to the southern direction, now commissions a batch to the Western Side along with Sushena explaining probable areas for 'Sitanveshana'. Sugriva explains the significance of the northern direction for Sitanveshana under the leadership of Shatabali of several 'vaanara veeraas'. As Sugriva despatches the Vanara Sena to the Southern direction, under the command of Yuva Raja Angada, Shri Rama gives his ring to Hanuman to possibly show to Sita Devi to recognise and trust him. While despatching the four directional Vaanara Sena, the text of Sugriva's encouraging remarks were as follows- King Sugriva explains to Shri Rama of his own escapades of 'Bhu Bhramana' and hence his vast knowledge and memories of destinations, parvatas, oceans, rives and the geographical detailings!Vaanara Senaas that Sugriva organised to the north-west-and eastern sectors for 'Sitanveshana' had returned disappointed with negative results; but from the southern sector were awaited still. Angada seeks to revive the fallen hopes of 'Sitanveshana' of the dakshina vaanara sena, but soon after the tired hungry sena sights a celestial tree-sarovara-and bhavana of a Tapasvini whom Hanuman contacts. As Hanuman enquires of the 'vriddha tapasvini', she displays her 'bhavan', asks about Vanara Sena and their purpose, invites them for bhojan, reveals her identity, and facilitates them towards the Sea shores. As the prescribed time limit for return to Sugriva was over, Angada and other Vaanara Veeras got ready for 'praana tyaga' but clever Hanuman adopted 'bheda -neeti'or of divided opinion saving them all!Angada- having asserted of Sugriva's dubious nature and selfishness while the task of 'Sitaanveshana' was due to Lakshmana's anger- thus gets readied for 'praayopayesha' along with his fellow yaanaras. Gridhra Raja Sampaati arrives and frightens Vanaras initially but on hearingabout the noble deed of 'Sitaanveshana' makes friends - Sampaati then hears of Ravana's killing of Jatayu, his younger brother. Angada places the badly hurt body of Sampaati from the mountain top and describes the details of Jatayu as killed by Ravanaasura- Rama Sugriva friendship-Vaali's death- and his 'aamarana upavaasa'. Sampaati informs the Vanara Veeras as to how his wings were burnt, confirms Ravana-Sita's place details-and performs jalanjali to his brother Jatayu since known from Vanaras of his passing away. Sampaati conveys to the Vanara Sena Yoddhas of what his son Supaarshyya informed of Devi Sita and Ravana at Lanka. Sampaati's interacts with his preceptor 'Nishakara Rishi' and explains as to how the wings of both his and his brother Jatayu's wings were burnt in a competition with Surya in the latter's triloka parikrama! Nishakara Muni readily sympathises and wishes recovery to Sampata but instructs him to contribute in the context of Shri Rama Vijaya Karya all his life. Sampaati eventually recovers fresh wings and enthuses Vanara Veeras to proceed to the farther South and step forward to Lanka. With great excitement and drive, especially fired up by Sampaati, the vast vaanara sena pushed forward to the Sea bed; then Angada asked the select Yoddhhas to express their individual abilities to cross the Sea. As Angada asked select Vanara yoddhhas of their ability to cross and return, individual responses were heard- then Jambavan recommends Veera Hanuman for this impossible and daring act. Jambavan along with Angada approaches Anjaneya, recalls thebackground of the latter's birth and past glories, glorifying him up with extraordinary capabilities, while preparing him to cross the Maha Samudra. As Hanuman was enthused and readied to cross the Maha Sagara, he dashed forward to Mahendra Parvata and climbed it with ease.

Sundara Khanda

Veera Hanuman leaps off the Ocean towards Ravana's Lanka, gets welcomed on way by Mainaka, encounters Surasa and subdues, kills Simhika, and enjoys the aerial view of Lanka-Description of Lankapuri's beauty, thoughts about the size in which he shoud enter the interiors of the city and on the descripiton Chandrodaya-Hnuman sought to enter, Rakshasi Nishachari is encountered, he subdues her seriously; she recalls Brahma's warning that once a Vanara gives a hit to her, then Lanka gets its doom and lets him in! Then Hanuman enters Ravana's 'antahpura' comprising many palaces but gets disappointedHanuman then enters the 'antahpura' or the interior palaces of Ravanasura systematically but gets disappointed with no sign and indication of Devi Sita-Hanuman then extended the scope of search for Devi Sita in Ravana's own palace, besides at the houses of his follower Rakshasaas Description of Ravana Bhavana viz. Pushpaka Vimana- Hanuman witnesses the inside out of the Pushpaka Vimana - indeed it was surfiet with Sundara Kanyas-In the process of 'Devi Sitaanveshana' in the Pushpaka Vimana in Ravana's residence, Hanuman witnessed countless 'strees' of youthful charm being playful inside; why had Ravana forcefully abducted Sita, despite his reputation of never forcing a woman but willingly married! In the process of searching for Devi Sita, Hanuman was confused by seeing Devi Mandodari to Devi Sita!Hanuman on seeing Mandori, took time self assure about Devi Sita, continued the search even while self introspecting of his own honesty in the atmosphere of fooddance and lust; yet dismissed such thoughts-Hanuman in his remote thoughts wondered and was even concerned of Devi - Sita's very existence but quickly recovered from such apprehensions resumed 'Sitanveshana'yet again with confidence and belief!Despite his sincere efforts of finding Devi Sita, the indications were slimmed and might even return disappointed. Yet, Sampati assured and visited 'Ashoka Vaatika' -While admiring Ashoka Vaatika's prakriti soundarya, Hanuman mused as to how Devi Sita would be happy as she was stated to be an admirer of Prakriti Soundarya-Hanuman yet in his

miniature form finally visioned Devi Sita near a 'Chaitya Praasaada Mandira' and identified her and felt ecstatic-Hanuman having finally ensured that Devi Sita was visioned, felt that as to why she, an outstanding Pativrata, why and how Ravana has been disgusting, yet sad.-Hanuman was nodoubt happy to see Devi Sita most closely with sympathy, yet contrarily was repulsed with hatred at the sight of the Rakshasa strees encircling her- Ravanasura along with his beloved females enters Ashoka Vatika and the spot where Devi Sita was being guarded as seen by Anjaneya in his miniature form-Even with a single nasty and desolate glance of the detestable Ravanasura, Devi Sita was drownded in gloom-fearand apprehension as noticed by Hanuman-Ravana then addresses Devi Sita opening his heart fancying her, praises her origin, charm and conduct, and seeks to convince her to discard fear complex, to be sympathetic to him, and wait for her consent- Sita emboldens herself and replies highlighting Ravana's wretched manner of abducting her and of his features of cruelty, selfishmess, and ego; mocks his ability and readiness to face hero Rama-As Sita heckled Ravana's claim of heroism and his stealthy timidity, asserted her 'pativratya', and challenged him to face Rama- as Ravana threatenend her granting three months to change or get killed-Select Rakshasis of learning like Ekajata-Harijata-Vikata and Durmikhi extoll the qualities of bravery of Rayanasura while seeking to convincing pressurise Devi Sita to accept the offer of Prime Queenship-While a few of enlightened Rakshasis sought to convince Devi Sita to wed Ravana, the rest of the cruel lot threatened her to death and fancy to taste her flesh, cook it with spices, and eat with wine and dance! Totally rattled by the perilous intimidation of the Rakshasis to nearly kill her and celebrate, Devi Sita nearly resorted to 'praana tyaaga' especially cursing her fate still disabling her from Shri Rama darshana- Even as the cruelmost Rakshasis surrounded Devi Sita to attack, the eldest of them named Trijata screamed from her ominous dream and described tragic forebodes of 'Lanka Vinaashana' too soon-Despite Trijata's 'dussvapna' foreboding shouts of disasters about Ravana and Lanka Rajya, Devi Sita continued to cry shell shocked; however gradually recoverd due to her own forevisions of auspiciousness-Hanuman witnessesd series of Ravana's sweet offers to wed Sita, her no-nonse reaction, his three month notice, violent threats of Rakshasis, Trijata's forebodings, now desires to appear before her, but how! Veera Hanuman sings Shri Rama Katha exclusively for Devi Sita but she wonders its genuinness! Then Hanuman appears before Devi Sita in his own form and conveys about Shri Rama's welfare, his arrival here, and assures Rama's arrival soon-Devi Sita still unconvinced fully about Hanuman' guineness, he describes Rama's physical features and mental acumen and brayery, pleading his own authenticity-Devi Sita finally concedes Hanuman's genuineness- then he describe's 'guna ganaas', how Rama missed her, Sugriva's help repaying Rama's help by killing Vaali- Sampati's guidance to reach her-Hanuman bestows Shri Rama's finger ring toDevi Sita as a memory refresher- the highly excited Devi Sita falls back to her memory screen, as Hanuman assures Rama's arrival too soon! As Devi Sita seeks Hanuman to hasten Shri Rama's arrival at Lanka, Hanuman suggests carrying her and reach Rama swiftly, but she declines giving reasons, especially stressing Rama's invincibility-Before handing over her 'choodaamani' to Hanuman, Devi Sita recalled how Rama expressed his concern by using 'brahmaastra' on a crow- Indra's son- pestered her; the crow went from pillar to post and fell at Rama's feet; though Rama pardoned, still had to block any crows's vision of left eve eversince! Having taken the posesssion of precious Sita 'Choodaamani' as a proof of meeting her, Hanuman felt elated to display his grit, devotion and resolution to all concerned, especially for the delight of Rama!Devi Sita reiterated what Anjaneya should convey to Rama about her life's threats while handing over hair clip to Shri Rama; Hanuman reiterates his reaching Rama's soonest.-Veera Hanuman devastates Ashoka Vaatika- on witnessing this, the frightened Rakshasis surrounding Devi Sita ran away to Ravanasura stating some Celestial Being had reached at the Ashoka Vaatika to destroy it-Ravanasura on learning of a stranger devastating Pramadaavana, despatches a strong regiment of his army of well trained eight thousand rakshasa force named Kinkaraas-Mahabali Vayu Putra then devastates 'Chityapraasaada'- the Rakshasa Kuladevatashthana and the rakshasas around it-Veeranjaneya smashes the expertise of 'baana-prayoga' of the Maha Rakshasa Jambumali, as Ravanaasura decided to utilise the extraordinary skills of archrey of the Prahasta Putra to pull down the enemy-As Hanuman successevily killed Kinkaras and Jambumaali and demolished Pramadaavana and Chatya Praasada along with inmates, enraged Ravana instructed the mighty sons of his Minsters to face Hanuman-With successive

deaths of his select Rakshasa Veeras, Ravanasura had wondered that even one Vanara of Hanuman demoralised him as a wake up call and despatched his five Senapatis who too were killed!Anxiously awaiting Hanuman's destruction by the Five Senapatis and army forces, Ravana got negative messages. As he was dismayed, his son Akshaya Kumara, well versed in war tactics, then too his turn-Shattered with putra shoka and humiliation, Rayana finally asked Indrajit to use his brahmastra to end up the menace of Hanuman and save the Rakshasa Samrajya and his personal prestige and fame at stake! Veera Hanuman was no doubt impressed by Ravasasura's accompishments and his own personalised feelings-Pretending as bounded by Indrajit's Brahmaastra, though Brahma granted his boon, Human faced Ravana whose Minister asked him why he visited Lanka; he confirmed, he was Shri Rama's messenger-Addressing Rayana, Veera Hanuman detailed Shri Rama's 'Prabhava' and warned that if Devi Sita were in any way hurt, that would be the instant final doom of Ravana and Lanka; Ravana went mad with fury-Infuriated by Hanuman's insinuasions of Ravanas's record of failures and praising Rama's successes, Ravanasura orders the vanara be killed-Vibhishana pleads against killing a messenger, as Ravana heeds-As Vibhishana appealed, Ravana consents to burn Hanuman's tail to display the blazings to Lanka's public. As Rakshasis conveyed, Sita prays to Agni to lessen the heat. Hanuman starts the revenge-Hanuman's vengeful 'Lanka Dahana and Vidhvamasha' as the Rakshasaas were shocked wonderstruck whether he was of Rudra Swarupa or Rama Bhakta! Veera Anjaneya's successful 'Lanka Dahana' but concernedof Devi Sita' safety- her 'punardarshana'-Hanuman reassuring Devi Sita of soonest arrival of Rama Laksamanas, jumped off from Arishta Parvata to cross the Maha Sagara as vanara pramukhas were waiting anxiously-As Vayu Putra dashed through thick sky high clouds to return to the ever awaiting Vanara yoddhas, the latter were ever concerned, but his return overjoyed them especially Angada and Jambavan-On his victorius return from Ravana's Lankapuri, Hanuman briefly detailed the happenings, especially Devi Sita darshana, killing spree of Rakshasas, challenge to Ravana, burning his tail and Lanka dhvamsa-Veeranjaneya makes a fervent appeal Vaanaraveeraslike Jambavaan-Angada-Neela- or Ashvini Kumara Putras Mainda- Dvividaas to relieve Devi Sita from Ravana's cluches for her inhuman harassment- As Hanuman returned successfully, Angada suggested another collective attack, destroy Ravana and others, bring Devi Sita back, but Jambavan advised to return and report back only!On return to Kishkindha vaanara veeras plundred Madhuvana of fresh sweet fruits and destroyed it. The incharge Vanara Dadhimukha - Sugriya's uncle - was beaten in return-Dadhimukha and staff ran away to Sugriva for protection; he wondered if south bound Vanara Sena with Angada and Hanuman was returning with success'!On Sugriva's instruction, dakshina sena reached reporting success-and of Devi Sita's safety-Viranjaneya details the actual status of Devi Sita's physical and psychological condition to Shri Rama in the presence of Lakshmana Sugrivas- Reacting to Hanumam's handing over Devi Sita's 'choodaamani' Shri Rama got worked up with his sweet memories, showing anxiety to hear what was her message to him-Hanuman detailed her actual status and parting appeal still concerned of urgent action to save her very life!

Yuddha Khanda

As Shri Rama heard Hanuman's Report of Devi Sita's darshana, her desperation, killings of rakshasa veeras and Lanka dahana, he hugged at the success and got concerned of reaching Lanka for action-As Shri Rama was since concerned as to how to cross the Samudra to reach Lanka and meet Devi Sita by devastating Ravana, Sugriva assuages Rama's concern and assures 'setu bandhana' -Veera Hanuman provides the full account of Lanka's impregnability, statistics of gates, inbuilt locational advantages and so on, yet emphasing the attacking abilites of vanara sena too-Rama Lakshmana Sugrivas followed by Maha Vanara Sena advances to the shores of Maha Samudra with confidence to initiate the massive task of 'Setu Bandhana'- As Neela, Mainda, Dvivida Veeras made arrangements of night long rest and safety to vaanara sena, Shri Rama confided his feelings especially in view of Ravana's ultimatum of time limit to Devi Sita-King Ravanasura convened an emergency conference with his Ministers as the Vanara Sena had reached the Sea shores with Rama in the lead- As Ravanasura expressed his concern, his Ministers replied that a King of his stature and triloka fame need not get worried especially when

vaanaras and humans attack and Indrajit alone could smother them-Ravanasura was assured by Mahaasura Veeras like Prahasta, Durmukha, Vajradamshtra, Nikumbha and Vajradamshtra to demolish the Vanara, Manushyas if attacked-As Rakasha Veeras assured Ravana of assurances with bravado unminded of enemy strength, Vibhishana requests him to respectfully return Devi Sita safe to Rama and save Lanka's glory and of generations-As Vibhishana approached Rayana again in the latter's Rajamahal, he narrated 'ashubhas' in Lankapuri after Sita's entry, but Ravana was firm not to release her as Rama and Indra even would fail to do so! -Ravana convens a Public Sabha after tightening secutity, declares intense feelings for Sita, Kumbhakarna since woken up regrets Rayana's love affair vet challenges Rama's attacks all by himself - As Rakshasa Mahapaarshva encourages Ravana to force Sita to bed, having kidnapped her anyway, Ravana recalls Brahma's curse to him never to force an unwilling woman to bed, especially after kidnapping-Vibhishana appeals Ravana to release Devi Sita, praising Rama and his valour - Prahasta heckles Vibhishana- as the latter retorts that neither Ravana with 'vyasnaas' nor his followers could match Rama -Indrajit makes fun of Vibhishana- the latter retorts of immaturity of a youth, depite consitent appeals to release Sita, Ravana refuses finally out of desperation Vibhishana leaves Lanka off for good! As Vibhishana seeking asylum from Shri Rama, raises doubts of Vanara Veeras like Surgiva, Angada and so on, Hanuman felt yet that it was genuine for apparent reasons and asks for Rama's instructions- Shri Rama being a 'sharanaagama rakshaka' replies to Sugriva ,but Veera Anjana Putra, and asks the Vanara King to allow his darshan -Following in-house deliberation by select Vanara Veeras about Vibhishana's protection, Shri Rama, a 'sharanaagata rakshaka', finally consents and even assures Kingship after Ravana's imminent death- Ravana's spy Shardula informed of the arrival of MahaVanara Sena at the Samudra teera, Ravana asked Shuka as parrot to Sugriva and try 'bhedopaaya' who wished to kill him but for Rama! - Rama invoked Samudra Deva for three days long, lost patience and threatned by shooting arrows. -Maha Sagara himself personified restraining Rama's fury-advised Vanara's 'maha shilpi', the method of constructing 'Setu Bandhana' to facilitate Ramas and the huge Vaanara Sena to cross the Maha Sagara-As Rama with Vanara Sena finally crossed the Sagara, the flustered Ravana despatched Shukha-Saaranas as Vanaras, Vibhishana gets them caught, but the kind Rama releases yet with an alert message-Ravana asserted not release Devi Sita any way, yet asked Sarana about about Vanara yoddhaas and the latter mentioned Angada, Nala, Shweta, Kumuda, Chanda, Rambha, Sharabha, Panasa, Krodhana, Gayaya- Saarana further added to the list of Vanara Pramukhas like Jambavan- Jambavan, Samnadana, Kratana, Pramaathi, Gavaksha, Kesari, Shatabali and so on now right at the door steps of Lankapuri- As Saarana reported of his findings to Ravana, Shuka detailed about about Sugriva's Ministers, Mainda-Dvividas, Hanuman, Rama Lakshmanas, Sugriva Vibhishanas, and further details of the number of Vanara Sena- As Shuka Saaranas reported yet with implicit praises of enemies, Ravana burst out, stripped them of ministership, asked his spies to see the enemy's status but Vibhishana noticed Shardula as Rama pardoned-Then Shardula the spy ran back, Ravana desired as to the origin of Pramukha Pramukha Vanaras like Jambavan, Sushena, Kesari, Sushena, Dadhimukhi, Sumukha, Sveta, Mainda brothers, Nala, Vegashali and so on-Having shattered by Rama's impending attack by his spies, Rayana sought to a cover up his vicarious pleasure and planned a trick by presenting a Maya Rama Mastaka to Sita to force her to submission-As Rayana showed the maya Rama mastaka to Devi Sita mischievosly, she was shattered and requested Ravana to kill her and place her body besides Rama's too-As Devi Sita was drowned in 'duhka saagara'on seeing Rama's severed head, as shown by Mayavi Ravana, dharma buddhi Sarama Rakshsi reveals the truth asserting Rama Vijaya, assuaging Devi's fears-Dharmika Rakshasi Sarana was endeared by Devi Sita who despatched someone to learn of the latest on Ravana's front and returned that Ravana rejected his motherly mantrini's advice to return Sita but to no avail!: Buddhimaan Maalyavaan, on behalf of the Maha Mandali, appealed for 'Sandhi' with the impending attack by Rama citing 'neeti shastra' and especially due to several 'apashakunas' faced by Lankapuri-Even after Malyaavan Mantri demanded for Sandhi, citing several apashakunas experienced by the Lanka public, Ravana reasserting his firm stand and merely instructed for tightening security and walked off- Vibhishana in a 'pakshi rupa' quickly witnessed the details of Ravana Sena at the four dwaaras of Lanka and its center, then Shri Rama indicates the formation of his own Sena- a) Shri Rama along Lakshmana and followers ascended the Suvela Parvata Shihkhara, well known for dhaatu

Sampada. b) The pituresque overview espescially impressed Vanara Veeras who assumed various forms to wander in Lankapuri while Rama and followers too were overawed at its magnificence-Suddenly Sugriva spotted Ravana at his residential roof, was unable to control to contol his anger jumped down challenging him for 'malla yuddha'- as Ravana felt that Sugriva was too good and thus disappeared .As Rama chided Sugriva's undesirable malla yuddha with Ravana and safe return, 'Maha Rama Sena' marches for an gate wise attack- Rama despatches Angada to reach Ravana with an ultimatum of Ravana's doom -Final placement of Rama Sena with followers of Lahshmana- Vibhishana- Sugriva-Maha Vaanaras at the Lankapuri Dwaras cordinating up above and near the gates reminding of Deva- Danava Yuddha!-Dwandva Yuddhha of Ravana- Vaanara Bhallukas day long yuddha between Indrajit- Angada, Jambumali- Hanuman, Shatrughna-Vibhishana, Gaja-Neela, Prathasa-Sugriva, Virupasha-Lakshmana and so on-During the night long Rakshasa Vanara Yuddha, Angada defeats Indrajit, but out a shame as the latter disappears by maaya and did 'naagaastra bandhanaastra prayoga' on Rama Lakshmanas -As Rama Lakshmanas were tied down by 'Nagaastra' by Indrajit in hiding ,Vaanara Shreashthas tried to locate him who too were the victims of Indrajit's astras as the bewildered Maha Vanaras broke down too-As Indrajit was yet in his invisibitity, avoiding the search party of Hanuman, hit Jambavan and other Vaarara Veeras, as Vibhisana pacified Sugriva as 'Satyameva Jayate', as Ravana praised Indrajit-As Vaanaras rescued Rama Lakshmanas from naaga bandhana, Ravana instructed Trijati Rakhasi to show Sita by Pushpaka Vimaana, as she broke out crying-As Sita was broken down in disbelief, she wondered whether whether Saamudrika Shastra -and Astrological Precepts were truthful assuring final success, but Trijata assured so too yet with.hurdles- All of a sudden Shri Rama with his physical and mental strength tore off the 'naaga pasha' but was distressed to see Lakshmana could not, and kept on crying missing him and got readied even to retreat!-Vibhishana distressed at Lakshmana unrecovered, Rama decides to withdraw from the battle; Sushena advises Hanuman to get herbs from Sanjeevani Parvata-Garuda lands frees from 'naaga bandhana'-Rattled by Rama Lakshmanas release, the worrried Ravana despatched Dhumraksha, who encouraged his Rakasasas who displayed initial success but Hanuman crashed the chariot and the head of Dhumraksha-Ravanaasura got furious that Dhumraakasha was killed by Hanuman, he instructed Vajradamshra to take revenge, as Rakshasa Vaanara Maha Yuddha followed yet Angada crushed Vajradamshta to death-As Angada pulled down Vajradamshtra to death, Senapati Akampana volunteered to attack the shatru sena but Veeranjana despatched the Senapati and many Raashasas to Yama Loka-: As even Akampana too was crumbled to death by Hanuman, Ravana hesitated but Senapati Prahasta consented but Maha Vaanara Senapati Neela succeeded to crush the Rakshasa Senapati to death-Ravana's entry with a wallop and exit with a whimper by subduing Sugriva, Lakshmana, Hanuman, Neela Yoddhas but exited as Shri Rama disgraced him! Having left battle with disgrace as defeated by Shri Rama, Ravana instructed that Kumbhakarna be awaken from long slumber; once awaken with food and drink reached Ravana as Vaanras were scared-Vibhishana traces Kumbhakarma's origin, maha bala and spells of 'deerghanidra'- Ravanaasura literally begs of full scale attack on Rama Sugriva Vaanaras to save his prestige at the stake-Initially having reprimanded Ravana not to have followed the basic principles of dharmika jeevana, pacified the elder brother later and asserted killings of Rama Lakshmana Sugriva Hanuman Vaanaras-As Kumbhakarna boasted off his certain victory, Mahodara warned of Rama's invincibilty but the latter was infuriated, demanded Sita's surrender and proceeded against Rama with four more Rakshasa Veeras-Kumbhakarna 'Rana Yatra', notwithstanding spates of 'dusshakunas' -As many Vaanaras were dazed at Kumbhakarna ran way despite Angada's appeals for death with veera swarga, then Maha Vanaras like Neela, Gavaksha, Hanuman then dedided to confront the enemy -Displaying initial 'prataapa' against Angada, Sugriva and Hanuman, Kumbhakarna calling Lakshmana as 'baalaka' attacks Rama who had systematically slashed off his right and left shoulders and finally his head and body to Vanara's thrill and the dismay of Ravana! - On hearing the unbelievable and tragic end of Kumbhakarna, Ravana was stunned and as his sons/ cousins broke down; he realised the retributive impact of his criminal deeds but now too late! - As Ravana felt the never dreamt of Kumbhakarna's fall Trishira cooled down his anguish while Ravana Putras /cousin kumaras readied yet Narakantaka too, resisted much as Angada removed him dead- Hanuman shattered Devantaka and Trishira, Neela demolished Mahodara and Rishabha smashed Mahapaarshya-Atikaya the Kubera Putra whom Rayana

considered as his own son; Brahma gifted an impregnable Kayacha to Atikaya; after a bhayankara yuddha, Lakshmana finally killed him by brahmastra itself -Totally smashed to smithereens, Ravanasura reviewed several Maha Rakshasa Veeraas had sacrificed lives for him so far and instructed safety of Lankapuri, specially where Devi Sita resided-Indrajit devastated Vanara Veeraas being invisible on skies and by using brahmaastra made Rama Lakshmaas too victimised as Rayana was thrilled and so were Rakshasaas and Lankapura-As Vaanara Veeraas wondered with 'kam kartavya' as Rama Lakshmanas collapsed senseless, Jambavan advised of fetching Mrita Sanjivini off Himalayas which Hanuman did the glorious act successfully-Sugriva being relieved of Rama Lakshmana's revival, ordered Vanaras to break into Lankapuri and terrorise Rakshasas with flames- Ravana instructed Kumbhakarna Putras, Kumbha Nikumbhas, to attack-As Angada destroyed Rakashas Kampana and Prajanghaka, Divida killed Shonitaakshaka, Mainda uprooted Yupaksha and Sugriva's 'mushti ghaatas' demolished Kumbhaasura-As his dear brother Kumbhaasura was killed by Sugriva, Nikumbha attacked Hanuman and got killed by him-As per Ranvana's instructions, Makaraaksha challenged Rama with baana varshas for long, but Rama smashed the charioteer, as the asura took to a Shiva shula, yet Rama with his Vayavyastra killed the asura-As instructed by Ravana, Indrajit invoked abhichaara yagina and with antardhana shakti tormented Rama Lakshmanas, but Rama warned Lakshmana of brahmastra prayoga yet the the latter made a 'shapatha' to kill Indrajit-Despite repeated warnings of 'stree hatya' as a 'maha paataka', Indrajit drove oft Maya Sita Devi by his charirot and stabbbed her as rakshasas were insane with joy as Vanara Sena was got demoralised- Hanuman witnessed Sita Devi killed, Vanara sena was aghast and Humuman had intitially pacified the vanara sena and take ro revenge but later agreed for temporary withdrawal and to inform Rama Sugrivaas-As as he heard of Devi Sita's killing, Rama swooned down and Lakshmana did extensive vishleshana of dharmaadharma and sought to revive him, asserting Indrajit's justified killing too soon-Vibhishana spelt out Ravanasura's insane desire for Devi Sitathat he could ever imagine her being killed and Indrajit fooled Hanuman and vaanaras of Maya Sita but attack Indrajit's abhichhara yagna instantly- following repeated exhortations of Vibhishana, Shri Rama finally dismissing Indrajit's 'maaya Sita's vyayahara' instructed Lakshmana to proceed to Nikumbhila Mandira with Vibhishana and Vaanara sena -On arrival at theNikumbhila,Vaanara Rakshasa battle followed - Hanuman challenged Indrajit for malla yuddha, Indrajit raised his dhanur banaas against Hanuman, but Lakshmana raised his dhanush instead-Indrajit heckles Vibhishana for discarding his 'swadhama'- to join Rama but Vibhishana details of his Poulastya ancestry, highlights Ravana's 'duraachaaras' and to get ready to be soon killed by Lakshmana!-Lakshmana-Indrajit exchange of hot words followed by fierce battle mutually yet physically hurting each other on and on but never tired despite blisters and flows of blood as Vibhishana attacked Indrajit-Vibhishana boosted Vaanara Veeras morale listing about the Rakshasas smashed up already and inspired them to fight further as Lakshmana-Indrajit battle followed while the latter's chariot etc was shattered-The sequel of Lakshmana -Indrajit maha samgrama concluded with-Lakshamana's domination, the celestial world felt relieved with the vindication of dharma and nyaaya- Lakshmana accompanied by Vibhishana, Sugriva and Vaanara Bhalluka Veeraas reached Rama who was immensely impressed and praised Lakshmana with intimate affection and recoup from his injuries soon -Totally forlorn with Indrajit's end by Lakshmana, Ravanasura desired to kill Devi Sita the root cause of the yuddha, but Mantri Suparshva appealed not to kill Sita but instead kill Rama Lakshmanas instead-Having been demoralised with Indrajit's loss, Ravana directed the combined senas of the Mantris as led by them, but Rama utilised gandharvaastra which created a spell devastating lakhs of Rakshasas-As many families heros were dead, affected Rakshasa strees cursed Ravana recalling that Brahma varaas excluded manavas of invincibility while Shiva predicted Devi Sita to be born for Rakshasa vinaashana- Noting the 'arta naadaas' of Lanka's fallen Rakshasas by Rama, Ravana himself attacked vaanaras along with senapatis Mahodara, Mahaparshva and Virupaksha-As Ravana was razing Vanaraas they approached Rama Sugrivas, as Sugriva attacked Virupaksha, killed his elephant, angry rakshasa slashed Sugriva who got recovered and destroyed Virupaksha- Ravana having been upset by the fall of Virupaksha, asked Mahodara to regain the success of Rakshasaas; but Sugriva after prolonged one to one encounter could severe 'Mahodara mastaka'-Mahaparshva got furious at the deaths of Virupaksha and Mahodara and demolished numberless vaanaras, but Angada with his mighty 'mushti ghaatas' tore off Mahodara's chest

and heart with fatality-Furious Ravana re-entered the battle, released 'Taamasaastra' killing vaanaras, resisted Lakshmana, attacked Rama, got hurt by his roudrastra, as his asuraastra which was realiated by Rama's agneyastra! -As Rama Ravana yuddha was intensified, Lakshmana intervened and the infuriated Ravana released his Mayaasura's Shakti aayudha by which Lakshmana was swooned and Rama asserted his 'prateekara'- Shri Rama 'vilaapa' for Lakshmana's fainting away, but Vaanara Sushena applied Sanjeevani brought earlier by Hanuman and Lakshmana got revived again and the latter reminds of Rama's 'satya pratigjna'- Indra sent Matali with chariot, Rama initiated baana varsha but Ravana destroyed the chariot, hurled his Shakti aayudha but Rama attacked with arrows and Indra's 'Shakti' too which severely hit Rayana's body- In the course of the dwandva baana praharaas, Rayana boasted off and Rama listed his shameless Sitaapa-harana and such adharmas; Ravana hit Rama and the latter smashed off so much as Ravana's sarathi ran back yet returned later-Agastya Muni's eminet ADITYA HRIDAYA with invocations of Viniyoga - Rishi- Karanyasa- Hridayanga Nyaasa Vidhi Mantras-As Shri Rama was delighted as seated on Indra's Chariot encouraging Matali the celestial charioteer, there were a spate of 'asubha soochanas' for Ravana just ahead of the epic battle of Rama Ravanas- As Rama Ravana Yuddha got anti climaxed as Ravana's heads sprang up again and again, but neither Shri Rama nor Ravana got tired and continued the battle overnight and the next day too-As Matali reminded of the Brahmastra which Agastya Muni bestowed to Rama, he recalled its universal impact and released on Ravana as his notorious life was closed, vindicating dharma and nyaaya again-As his elder brother Ravanaasura was killed by Shri Rama's brahmastra, Vibhishana broke down, yet Rama declared that Ravana fought like a fearless hero and advised that the antyeshta karma be done soon-Having heard about and seen of the dead Ravana, the antahpura strees were heart broken crying away in general, but some sensible ones wished of Ravana's release of Sita should have reversed the swing to normalcy-Devi Mandodari having placed the dead body of Ravanaasura on her laps, kept on crying away recalling his glories and her excellent marital experiences- Vibhishana performed the dahanaadi antya karmaas-As the joyful Celestials returned to their lokas from their sky high assembly after Rama Vijaya, Shri Rama thanked Matalii, Indra-Sugrivadi Vanaras, and celebrated Vibhishana Pattaabhisheka-Hanuman reached Ashoka Vaatika for Sita darshanatalked at length - she complemented him a lot yet desired not to kill the rakshasis who were after all instructed by Ravana - both proceeded to Rama -Hanuman accompanied Devi Sita for Shri Rama Shri Rama Darshana- Rama chides Vibhishana not to make a big scene, then Devi Sita sights her glorious husband after long miseries at Ravana's directives-Rama asserted that he underwent several issues to resurrect Dharma although Sita's freedom now was only incidental - as she stayed under Ravana's care for long, he would free her seeking her own comfort--Devi Sita explaining and asserting her origin of 'ayonijatva', upbringing and paativratya to Rama and the assembly of public had finally entered into the agni jwaalaas as celestials and the public witnessed-As Devi Sita entered 'agni jvaalaas' set by Lakshmana with Rama's implicit awareness, sarva deva mandali headed by Brahma praised Rama as of Vishnu avatara and Sita as Maha Lakshmi -Reacting to Brahma's declarations, Agni Deva emerged in public view and presented Devi Sita asserting her purity even being in Ravana's 'antahpura' for long as Rama desired to test her so to convince public-Maha Deva complemented Rama and pointed out at Dasharadha's Soul from Swarga as the latter blessed Rama stating that he redeemed his soul as Ashtavakra did to his father and assured Kingship with glory-As Rama requested to Indra to revive the lives of countless dead vaanara-bhallukaas at the yuddhha, the latter having realised that it was unprecedented yet granted as dead ones came alive as from deep sleep!-Vibhishana requested Shri Rama to stay back for a few days and enjoy his hospitality, but Rama displayed his anxiety to return the soonest as he was yearning to return to Ayodhya- As Shri Rama alighted the Kubera's Pushpaka Vimana 257 with Sita Laksgnanas, Vibhishana requsted Rama to accompany with Sugriva Vaanara sena too, and the celestial vimana had taken off- Enroute Ayodhya, Rama highlighted to Sita of Yuddha bhumi- Setu bandhana vidhana- kishkindha pick up of strees- drishyas of Janasthaana- their crossings of maha nadis-Muni ashramas and Ayodhya finally!-Rama approached Muni Bharadwaaja to enquire of the yoga kshemaas of his mothers, Bharata and Ayodhy in general, and the all knowing Muni blessed Rama for his glorious return and blessed-Rama with his sharp mindedness instructed Hanuman to visit Nishada Guha about their 'punaagamana' and to Bharata, who was worshipping Rama Padukas, was specially

elated.-Hanuman then had briefly narrated to Bharata of the proceedings after the latter's earlier darshana of Shri Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas, till their much awaited Ayodhya Darshana.-As Sita Rama Lakshmanas were arriving, Bharata Shatrugmas made elaborate arrangements at Ayodhya- the much excited Bharata hands over the Kingdom as of a deposit to Rama after a public announcement- Bharata's handing over Ayodhya Rajya- Sita Rama Nagara Yatra-Rajyabhisheka- **Valmiki Ramayana Phala Shruti.**

UTTARA RAMAYANA

Sarga One

Maharshis of fame arrived from chaturdishas to Ayodhya and congratulated Shri Rama who in humility thanked them- yet wondered apart from Ravana and Kumbhakarna, Indrajit was not that distinguished.

Prāptarājyasya rāmasya rākṣasānām vadhe kṛte, ājagmur ṛṣayaḥ sarve rāghavam pratinanditum/ kau/śiko 'tha yavakrīto raibhyaś cyavana eva ca., kanvo medhātitheh putrah pūrvasyām diśi ye śritāh/ svastyātreyas ca bhagavān namuciḥ pramucus tathā, ājagmus te sahāgastyā ye śritā dakṣiṇām diśam/ pṛṣadguḥ kavaṣo dhaumyo raudreyaś ca mahān ṛṣiḥ, te 'py ājagmuḥ saśiṣyā vai ye śritāḥ paścimām diśam/ vasisthah kaśyapo 'thātrir viśvāmitro 'tha gautamah, jamadagnir bharadvājas te 'pi saptamaharsayah/ samprāpyaite mahātmāno rāghavasya niveśanam, visthitāh pratihārārtham hutāśanasamaprabhāh/ pratihāras tatas tūrnam agastyavacanād atha, samīpam rāghavasyāśu praviveśa mahātmanah/sa rāmam drsya sahasā pūrņacandrasamadyutim, agastyam kathayām āsa samprātam rsibhih saha/ śrutvā prāptān munīms tāms tu bālasūrvasamaprabhān, tadovāca nrpo dvāhstham praveśaya yathāsukham/ dṛṣṭvā prāptān munīms tāms tu pratyutthāya kṛtāñjalih, rāmo 'bhivādya prayata āsanāny ādideśa ha/ tesu kāñcanacitresu svāstīrnesu sukhesu ca, vathārham upavistās te āsanesv rsipumgavāh/ rāmeņa kuśalam prstāh saśisyāh sapurogamāh, maharsayo vedavido rāmam vacanam abruvan/ kuśalam no mahābāho sarvatra raghunandana, tvām tu distyā kuśalinam paśyāmo hataśātravam/ na hi bhārah sa te rāma rāvano rāksaseśvarah, sadhanus tvam hi lokāms trīn vijayethā na samśayah/ distyā tvayā hato rāma rāvanah putrapautravān, distyā vijayinam tvādya paśyāmah saha bhāryayā/ distyā prahasto vikato virūpākso mahodarah, akampanas ca durdharso nihatās te nisācarāh/ yasya pramāṇād vipulam pramāṇam neha vidyate, diṣṭyā te samare rāma kumbhakarṇo nipātitah/ diṣṭyā tvam rāksasendrena dvandvavuddham upāgatah, devatānām avadhvena vijavam prāptavān asi/samkhve tasva na kim cit tu rāvanasva parābhavah, dvandvavuddham anuprāpto distvā te rāvanir hatah/ distvā tasya mahābāho kālasyevābhidhāvataḥ, muktaḥ suraripor vīra prāptaś ca vijayas tvayā/ vismayas tv eṣa nah saumya samśrutyendrajitam hatam, avadhyah sarvabhūtānām mahāmāyādharo yudhi/ dattvā punyām imām vīra saumyām abhayadaksinām, distyā vardhasi kākutstha jayenāmitrakarsana/srutvā tu vacanam teşām rṣīṇām bhāvitātmanām, vismayam paramam gatvā rāmah prāñjalir abravīt/ bhavantah kumbhakarnam ca rāvaṇam ca niśācaram, atikramya mahāvīryau kim praśamsatha rāvaṇim/ mahodaram prahastam ca virūpākṣam ca rākṣasam, atikramya mahāvīryān kim praśamsatha rāvaṇim/ kīdṛśo vai prabhāvo 'sya kim balam kaḥ parākramaḥ, kena vā kāraṇenaiṣa rāvaṇād atiricyate/ śakyam yadi mayā śrotum na khalv ājñāpayāmi vaḥ, yadi guhyam na ced vaktum śrotum icchāmi kathyatām, katham śakro jitas tena katham labdhavaras ca sah/

Pursuant to Shri Rama Samrajya Pattabhikheka at Ayodhya, Rishi Maharshis approached Shri Rama such as Koushika, Yavakreeta, Gargya, Gaalava, Medhatika Putra Kanva from Ayodhya's Eastern side along with Agastya Maharshi. From the Southern direction arrived Swastaatreya, Namuchi, Pramuchi, Agastya, Bhagavan Atri, Sumukha and Vimukha. From the western direction arrived Nrushunga, Kavasha, Dhoumya, and Kousheya along with shishyas.From the Northern direction had arrived Atri, Bharadwwaja, Gautama, Jamadagni, Kashyapa, Vasishta who was being a Nitya Nivasi of Ayodhya as

the Raja Purohita as also in an alternate form of Sapta Rishi Mandali, besides Atri, Bharadvaja, Gautama, Jamadagni, Kashyapa, and Vishwamitra. As those Maharshis had thus arrived along with their respective 'shishyaa brindaas' too, Shri Rama welcomed them all. As and when the Maharshis arrived, Shri Rama performed Vinaya purva saadara namaskaaraas, had them seated comfortably after paadya-argya-'mahaadara sanmaanaas, and them all about their kushalatwa or well being. Then the Maharshis addressed Shri Rama as follows: kuśalam no mahābāho sarvatra raghunandana, tvām tu distyā kuśalinam paśyāmo hataśātravam/ na hi bhāraḥ sa te rāma rāvaṇo rākṣaseśvaraḥ, sadhanus tvam hi lokāms trīn vijavethā na samśayah/ distyā tyayā hato rāma rāvanah putrapautrayān, distyā vijayinam tvādya paśyāmah saha bhāryayā/Maha baahu Raghunandana! We are always ever contented and delighted to call on you. We are proud to see you safe having conquered all the enemies especially the 'loka kantaka' Ravanasura which indeed is outstanding news of the times valid for ever. Shri Rama! Indeed, your unprecedented victory in destroying 'putra poutra sahita' Ravana had made all of us proud with your unique 'dhanush baanaas' vindicating your inimitable victory. Raghu nandana! How blissful we all are to vision you along with Devi Sita now! Dharmatma Naresha! Your dear brother Lakshmana has ever been with you as a shadow, and to see you with Bharata Shatrughnas and your proud mothers too are presen here! What a thrilling fortune to us all! distyā prahasto vikaţo virūpākṣo mahodaraḥ, akampanaś ca durdharso nihatās te niśācarāh/ yasya pramāṇād vipulam pramāṇam neha vidyate, distyā te samare rāma kumbhakarno nipātitah/ distvā tvam rāksasendrena dvandvavuddham upāgatah. devatānām avadhyena vijayam prāptavān asi/samkhye tasya na kim cit tu rāvanasya parābhavah, dvandvayuddham anuprāpto distyā te rāvanir hatah/How excited are we with abounding pleasure that the mighty Rakshasaas Prahasta-Vikata-Virupaaksha-Mahodara and the durdharsha Akampana were all destroyed by you. Shri Rama! How fortune we are thar a mountain like form of Kubhakarna was grounded to death! Shri Rama! The maha parakramis like Trishira-Atikaya-Devantaka Naraantakaas were devastated. One could even look at might get frightened to senselessness, the Kumbhakarna's sons Kumbha Nikumbhas too were killed by one's fortune. Yagnakopa and Dhumraksha Rakshasas were despached as the guests of Yama Loka. What else could be the grand news of the centuries that Lakshmana grounded the Mayavi Indrajit and of course Ravana by you! distyā tasya mahābāho kālasvevābhidhāvatah, muktah suraripor vīra prāptas ca vijavas tvavā/ vismavas tv esa nah saumva samśrutvendrajitam hatam, avadhyah sarvabhūtānām mahāmāyādharo yudhi/dattvā punyām imām vīra saumyām abhayadakṣiṇām, diṣṭyā vardhasi kākutstha jayenāmitrakarśana/ Maha baahu Rama! 'Kaala samaana naaga paasha mukti' should be the memorable ' maha soubhagya vishesha'. That Indrajit was killed should be a matter of great surprise indeed.! Kakutsa nandana, shatrusudana Shri Rama, we all are truly self-righteous and proud of your glorious triumph and accomplishment'. As the Maharshis complemented Shri Rama, he pointed out to them as follows: 'Pujyapaada Maharshis! 'Indeed, Ravana Kubhakarnas might no doubt be 'bala paraakrama sampannas', but there beyond why would need you to praise Indrajit sky high? Mahodara, Prahasta, Virupaksha, Matta, Unmatta, Durdharsha, Devantaka, Narantakas, or for that matter, Atikaya, Trishira or Nishachara Dhumraksa too were devastated but why are you distinguishing Indrajit the mayaavi of timidity! What indeed his dissimilarity and why are you categorising him individually! Munishvaras! Do pardon my disrespect, but could you distinguish Indrajit in this manner!

Sarga Two

Maharshi Agastya detailed the family reputation of Indrajit-Ravana- Vishraavaasa - Pulastya Prajapati

Tasya tadvacanam śrutvā rāghavasya mahātmanaḥ, kumbhayonir mahātejā vākyam etad uvāca ha/ śṛṇu rājan yathāvṛttam yasya tejobalam mahat, jaghāna ca ripūn yuddhe yathāvadhyaś ca śatrubhiḥ/ aham te rāvaṇasyedam kulam janma ca rāghava, varapradānam ca tathā tasmai dattam bravīmi te/ purā kṛtayuge rāma prajāpatisutaḥ prabhuḥ, pulastyo nāma brahmarṣiḥ sākṣād iva pitāmahaḥ/ nānukīrtyā guṇās tasya dharmataḥ śīlatas tathā, prajāpateḥ putra iti vaktum śakyam hi nāmataḥ/ sa tu dharmaprasangena meroḥ pārśve mahāgireḥ, tṛṇabindvāśramam gatvā nyavasan munipumgavaḥ/ tapas tepe sa dharmātmā

svādhyāyaniyatendriyah, gatvāśramapadam tasya vighnam kurvanti kanyakāh/ devapannagakanyāś ca rājarsitanayāś ca yāh, krīdantyo 'psarasaś caiva tam deśam upapedire/ sarvartusūpabhogyatvād ramyatvāt kānanasya ca, nityaśas tās tu tam deśam gatvā krīdanti kanyakāh/ atha rusto mahātejā vyājahāra mahāmunih, yā me darśanam āgacchet sā garbham dhārayişyati/ tās tu sarvāh pratigatāh śrutvā vākvam mahātmanah, brahmaśāpabhavād bhītās tam deśam nopacakramuh/ trnabindos tu rājarses tanayā na śrnoti tat, gatvāśramapadam tasya vicacāra sunirbhayā/ tasminn eva tu kāle sa prājāpatyo mahān rṣiḥ, svādhyāyam akarot tatra tapasā dyotitaprabhaḥ/ sā tu vedadhvanim śrutvā dṛṣṭvā caiva tapodhanam, abhayat pāndudehā sā suvyañjitaśarīrajā/drstyā paramasamyignā sā tu tadrūpam ātmanah, idam me kim nv iti jñātvā pitur gatvāgratah sthitā/ tām tu drstvā tathā bhūtām trnabindur athābravīt, kim tvam etat tv asadrśam dhārayasy ātmano vapuh/ sā tu krtvāñjalim dīnā kanyovāca tapodhanam, na jāne kāranam tāta yena me rūpam īdrsam/ kim tu pūrvam gatāsmy ekā maharser bhāvitātmanah, pulastyasyāśramam divyam anvestum svasakhījanam/ na ca paśyāmy aham tatra kām cid apy āgatām sakhīm, rūpasya tu viparyāsam drstvā cāham ihāgatā/ trnabindus tu rājarsis tapasā dvotitaprabhah, dhyānam viveša tac cāpi apašvad rsikarmajam/ sa tu vijñāva tam šāpam maharser bhāvitātmanah, grhītvā tanavām gatvā pulastvam idam abravīt/ bhagavams tanavām me tvam gunaih svair eva bhūṣitām, bhikṣām pratigṛhāṇemām maharṣe svayam udyatām/ tapaścaraṇayuktasya śrāmyamāṇendriyasya te, śuśrūṣātatparā nityam bhaviṣyati na samśayaḥ/ tam bruvāṇam tu tadvākyam rājarsim dhārmikam tadā, jighrksur abravīt kanyām bādham ity eva sa dvijah/ dattvā tu sa gato rājā svam āśramapadam tadā, sāpi tatrāvasat kanyā tosayantī patim gunaih, prītah sa tu mahātejā vākyam etad uvāca ha/ parituṣṭo 'smi bhadram te guṇānām sampadā bhṛśam tasmāt te viramāmy adya putram ātmasamam gunaih, ubhayor vamšakartāram paulastva iti viśrutam/ yasmāt tu viśruto vedas tvayehābhyasyato mama, tasmāt sa viśravā nāma bhavisyati na samśayaḥ/ evam uktā tu sā kanyā prahrstenāntarātmanā, acirenaiva kālena sūtā viśravasam sutam/ sa tu lokatraye khyātah śaucadharmasamanvitah, piteva tapasā yukto viśravā munipumgavah/

As Shri Rama wondered as to what was the heroism of Indrajit, Agastya Maha Muni replied that the achievements of Indrajit were worth recalling. But before doing so it might be worthwhile to dwelve on Rayana's background too. Raghu nandana! Rayana's 'kula-janma-yaradaana prapti' might be refreshed. In the Satya Yugaway back, Prjapati Brahma was blessed with a son named Brahmarshi Pulastya. Once Pulastya Muneeshwara reached the Ashram of Rajarshi Trinabindu in the outskirts of Meru Parvata as the latter was ever engaged in Svaadhyaaya of Vedas and tapasya. But some kanyas of Apsarasa- Nagas were playful in the salubrious ashrama's surroundings with music and dances. One day, Pulastya Brahma was annoyed much too much and cursed the playful kanyas that from the next day onward if the dance music should repeat again the kanyas would become garbhinis. Then having become aware of the Brahmarshis' curse, next day onward there were neither dance nor music parties. But the kanya of Rajarshi Trinabindu was as usual practising dance and music all by herself. Then as Pulastya was deeply absorbed on Vedaadhyayana, reacting to the vedaadhyana, Trinabindu kanya approached Pulastya but she had suddenly got some odd symptoms of her body and ran up the father Trinabindu out of fright and complained of her sudden body symptoms. Then the Rajarshi too was in deep tapasya and as his daughter started sobbing aloud realised in his trance that was in the follow up of Pusastya Maha Muni's shaapa mahima. Then the Rajarshi approached the Brahmarshi at whose shapa mahima that his kanya's conception had happened. Brahmarshi smiled and accepted while addressing the kanya: paritusto 'smi bhadram te gunānām sampadā bhrśam, tasmāt te viramāmy adva putram ātmasamam gunaih, ubhayor vamsakartāram paulastya iti visrutam/ yasmāt tu visruto vedas tvayehābhyasyato mama, tasmāt sa viśravā nāma bhavişyati na samśayah/'Sundari! I am pleased with your 'sadaachaara guna vaibhava' and hence you should soon be blessed with a son who would be named 'Poulastya' with pratishta. As I have been ever practising vedaadhyayana, you have been keenly absorbed in 'Vishesha Shravana' and hence the son would be called 'Vishravana' or 'Vishrava'. evam uktā tu sā kanyā prahṛstenāntarātmanā, acirenaiva kālena sūtā viśravasam sutam/ sa tu lokatraye khyātah śaucadharmasamanvitah, piteva tapasā yukto viśravā munipumgavaḥ / As blessed likewise, Vishrava Muni had thus become popular as 'Veda Vidvaan, Samadarshi, Vrataachaara paalana Tapasvi' like his own father.

Sarga Three

<u>Vaishravana Maha Muni</u>, the son of <u>Vaishrava</u>, after thousands of years long tapasya was blessed by <u>Brahma Deva</u>, appointed him as <u>Kubera the fourth loka palaka</u> as <u>Kubera settled at Lanka Puri</u>

Atha putrah pulastyasya viśravā munipumgavah, acirenaiva kālena piteva tapasi sthitah/ satyavāñ śīlavān daksah svādhyāyaniratah śucih, sarvabhogesv asamsakto nityam dharmaparāvanah/ jñātvā tasva tu tadvrttam bharadvājo mahān rsih, dadau viśravase bhāryām svām sutām devavarninīm/ pratigrhya tu dharmena bharadvājasutām tadā, mudā paramayā yukto viśravā munipumgavaḥ/ sa tasyām vīryasampannam apatyam paramādbhutam, janayām āsa dharmātmā sarvair brahmagunair yutam/ tasmiñ jāte tu saṃhrstah sa babhūva pitāmahah, nāma cāsvākarot prītah sārdham devarsibhis tadā/ yasmād viśravaso 'patyam sādṛśyād viśravā iva, tasmād vaiśravaņo nāma bhaviṣyaty eṣa viśrutaḥ/ sa tu vaiśravanas tatra tapovanagatas tadā, avardhata mahātejā hutāhutir ivānalah/ tasvāśramapadasthasva buddhir jajñe mahātmanah, carisye niyato dharmam dharmo hi paramā gatih/ sa tu varsasahasrāni tapas taptvā mahāvane, pūrņe varsasahasre tu tam tam vidhim avartata/ jalāśī mārutāhāro nirāhāras tathaiva ca, evam varşasahasrāni jagmus tāny eva varşavat/ atha prīto mahātejāh sendraih suragaņaih saha, gatvā tasyāśramapadam brahmedam vākyam abravīt/ paritusto 'smi te vatsa karmanānena suvrata, varam vṛnīsva bhadram te varārhas tvam hi me matah/ athābravīd vaiśravanah pitāmaham upasthitam, bhagavamı lokapālatvam iccheyam vittarakşanam/ tato 'bravīd vaiśravanam paritustena cetasā, brahmā suragaṇaiḥ sārdham bāḍham ity eva hṛṣṭavat/ aham hi lokapālānām caturtham sraṣṭum udyataḥ, yamendravarunānām hi padam yat tava cepsitam/ tatkṛtam gaccha dharmajña dhaneśatvam avāpnuhi, yamendravarunānām hi caturtho 'dya bhavisyasi/ etac ca puspakam nāma vimānam sūryasamnibham, pratigṛhnīsva yānārtham tridaśaih samatām vraja/ svasti te 'stu gamisyāmah sarva eva yathāgatam kṛtakṛtyā vayam tāta dattyā tava mahāvaram/ gatesu brahmapūrvesu devesy atha nabhastalam, dhaneśah pitaram prāha vinayāt pranato vacah/ bhagavaml labdhavān asmi varam kamalayonitah, nivāsam na tu me devo vidadhe sa prajāpatiḥ/ tat paśya bhagavan kaṁ cid deśaṁ vāsāya naḥ prabho, na ca pīḍā bhayed yatra prānino yasya kasya cit/ eyam uktas tu putrena viśrayā munipumgayah, yacanam prāha dharmajña śrūyatām iti dharmavit/ laṅkā nāma purī ramyā nirmitā viśvakarmanā, rāksasānām nivāsārtham yathendrasyāmarāvatī/ ramaṇīyā purī sā hi rukmavaidūryatoraṇā, rākṣasaiḥ sā parityaktā purā visnubhayārditaih, śūnyā raksoganaih sarvai rasātalatalam gataih/ tvam tatra nivāsāya rocayasva matim svakām, nirdosas tatra te vāso na ca bādhāsti kasva cit/ etac chrutvā tu dharmātmā dharmistham vacanam pituh, niveśayām āsa tadā lankām parvatamūrdhani/ nairrtānām sahasrais tu hrstaih pramuditaih sadā, acirenaikakālena sampūrnā tasva śāsanāt/ atha tatrāvasat prīto dharmātmā nairṛtādhipaḥ, samudraparidhānāyām lankāyām viśravātmajaḥ/kāle kāle vinītātmā puṣpakeṇa dhaneśvarah, abhyagacchat susamhrṣṭah pitaram mātaram ca sah/ sa devagandharvaganair abhiṣṭutas; tathaiva siddhaih saha cāraṇair api, gabhastibhih sūrya ivaujasā vṛtaḥ; pituḥ samīpam prayayau śriyā vrtah/ śrutvāgastveritam vākvam rāmo vismavam āgatah, pūrvam āsīt tu lankāvām raksasām iti sambhayah/ tatah śirah kampayityā tretāgnisamayigraham, agastyam tam muhur drstyā smayamāno 'bhyabhāṣata/ bhagavan pūrvam apy eṣā laṅkāsīt piśitāśinām, itīdam bhavataḥ śrutvā vismayo janito mama/ pulastyavamśād udbhūtā rāksasā iti nah śrutam, idānīm anyataś cāpi sambhavah kīrtitas tvayā

Pulastya putra Vishrava too was like his father turned out a 'satyavaadi, sheelavaan, jitendriya, swaadhya paraayana and dharmashaali' and having noted his dharma tatparata, Maha Muni Bharadwaaja offered his daughter to Vishrava and in course of time his son gave birth to a boy whom his grand father Pulastya Muni with his divya drishti had forecast that the new arrival would eventually be too should excel his father with tapasya for several thousands and performed his naama karana and named him as Vaishravana besides forecasting that eventually he should be a dhanaadhyaksha! Kumara Vaishravana then having grown up in constant homa-yagjna kaaryaas was himself turned like 'prajjvalita agni' in ashramaas, decided to dedicated himself for tapsya for thousands of years. By the turn of each thousand years of the kathora tapasya, he kept on absorbing newer and ever newer 'tapasya vidhi grahana' some

times by' jala grahana- vaayu bhakshana'- and eventually 'sampurna niraahaara'. atha prīto mahātejāh sendraih suraganaih saha, gatvā tasyāśramapadam brahmedam vākyam abravīt/ paritusto 'smi te vatsa karmaṇānena suvrata, varam vṛṇīṣva bhadram te varārhas tvam hi me matah/ athābravīd vaiśravaṇah pitāmaham upasthitam, bhagavaml lokapālatvam iccheyam vittarakṣaṇam/Then after thousands of unprecedented 'maha ghora tapasya', Maha tejasyi Brahma Deva along with Indraadi Devataas appeared at the Vaishraavana's ashram asserting that they were indeed impressed by his tapasya and asked for a 'vara' or a boon. The tapasvi narrated the happenings further as he replied: 'Brahma Deva! my life long desire is to execute 'loka raksha' and hence be a 'loka paalaka'. Brahma explained: dear son, the Universe had already been bestowed this honour by Yama-Indra-and Varuna and now, you now be imparted as the fourth one along with them with akshaya 'nidhis swami'! etac ca puspakam nāma vimānam sūryasamnibham, pratigrhnīsva yānārtham tridaśaih samatām vraja svasti te 'stu gamisyāmah sarva eva vathāgatam, kṛtakṛtyā vayaṁ tāta dattyā tava mahāvaram/bhagavaml labdhavān asmi varaṁ kamalayonitah, nivāsam na tu me devo vidadhe sa prajāpatih/Brahma was further pleased to gift me a 'Surya tulya pushpaka vimana' as in the case of other dikpalakas too. Then I was thrilled further and greeted him repeatedly. Then I requested him for a suitble place for living. evam uktas tu putrena viśravā munipumgavaḥ, vacanam prāha dharmajña śrūyatām iti dharmavit/ lankā nāma purī ramyā nirmitā viśvakarmaṇā, rākṣasānām nivāsārtham yathendrasyāmarāvatī/ramaṇīyā purī sā hi rukmavaidūrya toranā, rāksasaih sā parityaktā purā visnubhayārditaih, śūnyā raksoganaih sarvai rasātalatalam gataih/

Then Brahma Deva replied that in the southern direction and its samudra teera' a Trikuta naamaka mountain and adjacent thereto there would be a fantastic place like Indrapuri Amaravati itself which was created by Rakshasa Vishwarama.tvam tatra nivāsāya rocayasva matim svakām, nirdoṣas tatra te vāso na ca bādhāsti kasya cit/ etac chrutvā tu dharmātmā dharmiṣṭham vacanam pituḥ, niveśayām āsa tadā lankām parvatamūrdhani/ nairṛtānām sahasrais tu hṛṣṭaiḥ pramuditaiḥ sadā, acireṇaikakālena sampūrṇā tasya śāsanāt/ atha tatrāvasat prīto dharmātmā nairṛtādhipaḥ, samudraparidhānāyām lankāyām viśravātmajaḥ/Brahma further asserted that Vaishravana should as Kubera settle down at that place as several Rakshasaas had left that place out of the fear of Bhagavan Vishnu in the remote past. The rakshasaas then shifted off Rasaatala of the nether lokas. After Kubera settled down for innumerable years, Rakshasaas had gradually reached there once again and yet lived comfortably.

Sarga Four

Agastya then narrated to Rama about the origins and lives of Heti-Vidyutkesha-Sukesha Rakshasaas

Rāvanāt kumbhakarnāc ca prahastād vikaṭād api, rāvaṇasya ca putrebhyah kim nu te balavattarāḥ/ ka eṣām pūrvako brahman kimnāmā kimtapobalaḥ, aparādham ca kam prāpya viṣṇunā drāvitāḥ purā/ etad vistaratah sarvam kathayasva mamānagha, kautūhalam kṛtam mahyam nuda bhānur yathā tamah/ rāghavasva tu tac chrutvā samskārālamkrtam vacah, īsadvismavamānas tam agastvah prāha rāghavam/ prajāpatih purā sṛṣṭvā apaḥ salilasambhavaḥ, tāsām gopāyane sattvān aṣṛjat padmasambhavaḥ/ te sattvāḥ sattvakartāram vinītavad upasthitāḥ, kim kurma iti bhāṣantaḥ kṣutpipāsābhayārditāḥ/ prajāpatis tu tāny āha sattvāni prahasann iva, ābhāsya vācā yatnena raksadhvam iti mānadah/ raksāma iti tatrānyair yakṣāmeti tathāparaiḥ, bhunkṣitābhunkṣitair uktas tatas tān āha bhūtakṛt/ rakṣāma iti yair uktam rāksasās te bhavantu vah, yaksāma iti vair uktam te vai yaksā bhavantu vah/ tatra hetih prahetiś ca bhrātarau rākṣasarṣabhau, madhukaiṭabhasamkāśau babhūvatur arimdamau/ prahetir dhārmikas tatra na dārān so 'bhikānkṣati, hetir dārakriyārtham tu yatnam param athākarot/ sa kālabhaginīm kanyām bhayām nāma bhayāvahām, udāvahad ameyātmā svayam eva mahāmatiḥ/ sa tasyām janayām āsa hetī rākṣasapumgavaḥ, putram putravatām śreṣṭho vidyutkeśa iti śrutam/ vidyutkeśo hetiputraḥ pradīptāgnisamaprabhah, vyavardhata mahātejās toyamadhya ivāmbujam/ sa yadā yauvanam bhadram anuprāpto niśācarah, tato dārakriyām tasya kartum vyavasitah pitā/ samdhyāduhitaram so 'tha samdhyātulyām prabhāvataḥ, varayām āsa putrārtham hetī rākṣasapumgavaḥ/ avaśyam eva dātavyā parasmai seti samdhyayā, cintavityā sutā dattā vidyutkeśāya rāghaya/ samdhyāyās tanayām labdhyā

vidyutkeśo niśācaraḥ, ramate sa tayā sārdham paulomyā maghavān iva/ kena cit tv atha kālena rāma sālakaṭamkaṭā, vidyutkeśād garbham āpa ghanarājir ivārṇavāt/ tataḥ sā rākṣasī garbham ghanagarbhasamaprabham, prasūtā mandaram gatvā gaṅgā garbham ivāgnijam/ tam utsrjya tu sā garbham vidyutkeśād ratārthinī, reme sā patinā sārdham vismrtya sutam ātmajam/ tayotsrṣṭaḥ sa tu śiśuḥ śaradarkasamadyutiḥ, pāṇim āsye samādhāya ruroda ghanarāḍ iva/ athopariṣṭād gacchan vai vṛṣabhastho haraḥ prabhuḥ, apaśyad umayā sārdham rudantam rākṣasātmajam/ kāruṇyabhāvāt pārvatyā bhavas tripurahā tataḥ, tam rākṣasātmajam cakre mātur eva vayaḥ samam/ amaram caiva tam kṛtvā mahādevo 'kṣayo 'vyayaḥ, puram ākāśagam prādāt pārvatyāḥ priyakāmyayā/ umayāpi varo datto rākṣasīnām nṛpātmaja, sadyopalabdhir garbhasya prasūtiḥ sadya eva ca, sadya eva vayaḥprāptir mātur eva vayaḥ samam/

The narration of Agastya Maha Muni about the origin of Kubera, Shri Rama was truly astonished about Vaishtravana having been renamed as Kubera by Brahma and the latter commanded Kubera to settle at Lankapuri since that picturesque place was vacated by Rakshasaas who ran awy to Rasatala due to the pressure of Maha Vishnu some ages ago. Then Shri Rama expressed as follows: 'Bhagavan Agastya! This is the very first time that I am learning that Kubera was the occupant of Lankapuri well before Ravanaasura. I have all along been believing that rakshasaas were the progeny of Pulastya Kula. Rāvaṇāt kumbhakarnāc ca prahastād vikatād api, rāvanasya ca putrebhyah kim nu te balavattarāh/ ka esām pūrvako brahman kimnāmā kimtapobalah, aparādham ca kam prāpya visnunā drāvitāh purā/ etad vistaratah sarvam kathayasva mamānagha, kautūhalam krtam mahyam nuda bhānur yathā tamah/ Then, Shri Rama got more and more inquisitive: 'Were Ravana-Kumbhakarna-Prahasta-Vikataadi Rakshasaas mightier than the later settlers of Raksasaas too! Mahatma! You had stated that Bhagavan Vishnu forced the earlier Rakshasa settlers at Lankapuri; what kind of misdemeanors were perpetrated by those Rakshasaas!' Then Agastya replied: 'Raghunandana! Brahma as Prajapati as emerged from the lotus floated on fathomless waters, created oceanic waters and further for the perpetuations of the waters thus created 'jala chara jantus'. As the 'jala charaas' had in turn suffered from hunger and thirst, they approached Brahma again, he replied smilingly: rakṣāma iti tatrānyair yakṣāmeti tathāparaiḥ, bhunksitābhunksitair uktas tatas tān āha bhūtakrt/ raksāma iti vair uktam rāksasās te bhavantu vah. vaksāma iti vair uktam te vai vaksā bhavantu vah/ tatra hetih prahetis ca bhrātarau rāksasarsabhau, madhukaiṭabhasamkāśau babhūvatur arimdamau/Jala Jantus! Do you not get agitated but your safety in these oceanic waters should be assured. These 'jala samriddhis' would by themselves provide safey to themselves; (like: Dharmo rakshati rakshitah: dharma is protected by the followers of dharma just as the samudra jalaas are protected by themselves!). Brahma continued: 'Those jala jantus suffering from hunger and thirst for 'rakshana' should also perform 'yakshana' or devoted pujana'. Thus the Jala jantus resorted to the double edged seeking and doing acts hand in hand simultaneously. Then the solution of 'raksha and yaksha' or of 'rakshasaas and Yakshas' pleased Brahma created the combine of Prasiddha Rakshasa- Yakshas named Heti and Praheti who were both of the 'damana and saamarthya' of the age old popularatity of 'Madhu Kaitabha brothers who were finally killed by Maha Vishnu Himself!

[Vishleshana on Madhu Kaitabhas from Devi Bhagavata Purana

Vishnu destroys Madhu Kaitabha brothers: When Maha Vishnu was in Yoga Nidra in a comfortable posture of lying on the bed of Ananta Naga, two Demon brothers named Madhu and Kaitabha were born from the wax of Maha Vishnu's ears. Their birth was a mystery and unknown as felt by the brothers themselves whose physical forms grew fast and strong day by day, even as they were playing in the ocean surroundings, killing various kinds of aquatic species for food or play. Coming of age in course of time, the Demon brothers with huge bodies and proportionate common sense too, realised that there must have been a Massive Force which alone could have given birth to them. From the air, they heard a sound 'Vagbija' the Seed Mantra (Seed 'Bija' and 'Vak' the Speech of Goddess Sarasvati). To start with fun, but later on with maturity, they kept on practising the sound for years together, little realising the impact of the Mantra's repetition. In fact, they became so obsessed with the Mantra that they neither had food nor

sleep, but with full concentration and utmost sincerity. 'The Parashakti's Voice emerged from the Skies that the Danava brothers would be invincible in the entire Universe provided they were united and fight two-some. Blessed by Maha Devi, the two brothers became swollen with pride and eventually attacked Lord Brahma Himself. On realising that they were unconquerable, Brahma who was seated on the lotushead sprouting from Maha Vishnu's navel, tried the age-old four means. He tried to use 'Sama (Counselling) 'Dana' (Gifting or bribing), 'Bheda' (put one against another) and finally 'Danda' (Punish), but neither of these media appeared feasible; he ran away to Vaikuntha for protection but Maha Vishnu was in Yoga Nidra. Brahma had thus prayed to Yoga Nidra Devi to prompt Maha Vishnu to wake up. It was actually Maha Maya's discretion which mattered as Vishnu Himself could not regain consciouness on His own. The concentrate of 'Tamo Guna'- Maha Maya - was earnestly prayed to by Brahma, as this was a prestige issue for him and the entire domain of Gods! Maha Maya left Vishnu free and He was fully woken up to face the challenge of the hour, viz. to either manipulate or massacre the brothers, Madhu and Kaitabha. Lord Vishnu invited the brothers to fight with Himself. The fight continued for five thousand years but without a tangible result. As the Demons were clashing one after another and Lord Vishnu was in duel singly, the latter asked the brothers to give a break as it was against Justice that they took alternate positions while He was alone. During the break, Vishnu prayed to Maha Shakti and complained that the fight was unfair and that they were also given by Her the boon of voluntary death or 'Svacchanda Maranam'. Maha Shakti realised the lacuna in the duel and advised Vishnu to give boons to the brothers so that a way out would automatically open up. Meanwhile, Maha Sakti agreed to be present at the fight in physical form and disturb the concentration of the Demon brothers by casting Her fake amorous looks. This encouraged Vishnu to convey the Demons that their duel with Him was of great quality and thus He was ready to give boons to them. They got into the trap as they boasted that they were prepared to give boons to Him instead of the other way around. Vishnu grabbed the opportunity and said that He be given the boon of their death by killing each other! The brothers gave an excuse that the boon could be given only provided there was no water or wetness in the Ocean. Vishnu expanded his thighs manifold so that there could be adequate space for the killings. The Demons expanded their bodies too and thus the thighs of Vishnu and the body sizes of the brothers kept on increasing horizontally and vertically proportionately. Finally, the illusion created by Vishnu proved stronger and the brothers had to yield to their own killings. Thus Maha Shakti who assumed human physique and paved the way to the killings of the Danava brothers without breaking the Rules of 'Dharma Yuddha', partly by trickery and partly by Maya or Illusion.]

Further stanzas continued:

prahetir dhārmikas tatra na dārān so 'bhikānkṣati, hetir dārakriyārtham tu yatnam param athākarot/ sa kālabhaginīm kanyām bhayām nāma bhayāvahām, udāvahad ameyātmā svayam eva mahāmatih/ sa tasyām janayām āsa hetī rākṣasapumgavaḥ, putram putravatām śrestho vidyutkeśa iti śrutam/ vidyutkeśo hetiputrah pradīptāgnisamaprabhah, vvavardhata mahātejās tovamadhva ivāmbujam/ Of the two brothers Praheti and Heti, Praheti was a dharmatma and having grown up to 'kaumaara dasha' had left for 'tapovanaas', but Heti pursued the normal life pattern and desired to marry and got wedded to Kaala kumari bhagini named 'Bhaya' who was truly of 'bhayaanaka swarupi'. Rakshaasa Raja Heti putra was named as Vidyutkesha. sa yadā yauvanam bhadram anuprāpto niśācarah, tato dārakriyām tasya kartum vyavasitah pitā/ samdhyāduhitaram so 'tha samdhyātulyām prabhāvatah, varayām āsa putrārtham hetī rākṣasapumgavah/ avaśyam eva dātavyā parasmai seti samdhyayā, cintayitvā sutā dattā vidyutkeśāya rāghava/ samdhyāyās tanayām labdhvā vidyutkeśo niśācarah, ramate sa tayā sārdham paulomyā maghavān iva/ As Vidyutkesha got youthful, Heti Rakshasa performed the wedding of his son to the daughter of Sandhya Devi. Then Nishachara Vidyutkesha was rejoiced with the wedding and the couple were happy like Indra and Shachi Devi the Puloma daanava putri'. Agastya further continued to Shri Rama: 'Sandyha putri Saalakatangata' had in turn eventually got a son. But even as the child was born, she had almost neglected the newly born son and was constantly engaged with the happy unions of her husband Vidsyutkesha, like Kartikeva was born he too was left in the lurch. tayotsrstah sa tu śiśuh

śaradarkasamadyutiḥ, pāṇim āsye samādhāya ruroda ghanarāḍ iva/ athopariṣṭād gacchan vai vṛṣabhastho haraḥ prabhuḥ, apaśyad umayā sārdham rudantam rākṣasātmajam/ kārunyabhāvāt pārvatyā bhavas tripurahā tataḥ, tam rākṣasātmajam cakre mātur eva vayaḥ samam/Yet, the new born boy was like sharatkaala Surya, started raising his fist to his mouth and started sucking. That was the time, when Bhagavan Shankara and Devi Parvati seated on the vrishabha vaahana were sky borne and heard the cryings of the child. As they heard the sobbings of the rakshasa kumara, Devi Parvati took pity and the crying child and instantly, the boy turned as a vibrant and strong physiqued youth!amaram caiva tam kṛtvā mahādevo 'kṣayo 'vyayaḥ, puram ākāśagam prādāt pārvatyāḥ priyakāmyayā/ umayāpi varo datto rākṣasīnām nṛpātmaja, sadyopalabdhir garbhasya prasūtiḥ sadya eva ca, sadya eva vayaḥprāptir mātur eva vayaḥ samam/ Further more, Parvati priya Bhagavan Shiva bestowed to him further with the Vara Prapti of Akashachaari Vimana too .' Sri Rama! Henceforth, Vidyukesha putra Sukesha had thenceforward was the recipient of Shiva Parvatis thus becoming a proud son of Vidyudkesha.

Sarga Five

Maharshi Agastya detailed the famed Sukeshi Putra's Maalyavaan-Sumali- and Mali who did maha tapasya to Brahma Deva, attained his vara daana of 'ajeyata'and manifested Lankapuri by Vishvakarma.

Tatah sukeśo varadānagarvitah; śriyam prabhoh prāpya harasya pārśvatah, cacāra sarvatra mahāmatih khagaḥ; khagam puram prāpya puramdaro yathā/ sukeśam dhārmikam dṛṣṭvā varalabdham ca rākṣasam, grāmaņīr nāma gandharvo viśvāvasusamaprabhaḥ/ tasya devavatī nāma dvitīyā śrīr ivātmajā, tām sukeśāya dharmena dadau dakṣaḥ śriyam yathā/ varadānakṛtaiśvaryam sā tam prāpya patim priyam, āsīd devavatī tuṣṭā dhanam prāpyeva nirdhanah/ sa tayā saha samyukto rarāja rajanīcarah, añjanād abhiniskrāntah karenveva mahāgajah/ devavatyām sukeśas tu janayām āsa rāghava, trīms trinetrasamān putrān rāksasān rāksasādhipah, mālyavantam sumālim ca mālim ca balinām varam/ trayo lokā ivāvyagrāh sthitās traya ivāgnayah,trayo mantrā ivātyugrās trayo ghorā ivāmayāh/trayah sukeśasya sutās tretāgnisamavarcasaḥ, vivrddhim agamams tatra vyādhayopekṣitā iva/ varaprāptim pitus te tu iñātvaiśvarvam tato mahat, tapas taptum gatā merum bhrātarah kṛtaniścayāḥ/ pragṛhya niyamān ghorān rāksasā nrpasattama, vicerus te tapo ghoram sarvabhūtabhavāvaham/ satvārjavadamopetais tapobhir bhuvi duşkaraih, samtāpayantas trīml lokān sadevāsuramānuṣān/ tato vibhuś caturvaktro vimānavaram āsthitah, sukeśaputrān āmantrya varado 'smīty abhāsata/ brahmānam varadam jñātvā sendrair devaganair vrtam, ūcuh prāñjalayah sarve vepamānā iva drumāh/ tapasārādhito deva yadi no diśase varam, ajeyāḥ śatruhantāras tathaiva cirajīvinaḥ, prabhaviṣṇavo bhavāmeti parasparam anuvratāḥ/ evam bhavisyatīty uktvā sukeśatanayān prabhuh, prayayau brahmalokāya brahmā brāhmanavatsalah/ varam labdhvā tatah sarve rāma rātrimcarās tadā, surāsurān prabādhante varadānāt sunirbhayāh/ tair vadhyamānās tridaśāh sarṣisaṃghāḥ sacāraṇāḥ, trātāraṃ nādhigacchanti nirayasthā yathā narāḥ/atha te viśvakarmāṇam śilpinām varam avyayam, ūcuḥ sametya samhṛṣṭā rākṣasā raghusattama/ gṛhakartā bhavān eva devānām hrdavepsitam, asmākam api tāvat tvam grham kuru mahāmate/ himavantam samāśritya merum mandaram eva vā, maheśvaragrhaprakhyam grham nah krivatām mahat/ viśvakarmā tatas teṣām rākṣasānām mahābhujaḥ, nivāsam kathayām āsa śakrasyevāmarāvatīm/ dakṣiṇasyodadhes tīre trikūto nāma parvatah, śikhare tasya śailasya madhyame 'mbudasamnibhe, śakunair api dusprāpe tankacchinnacaturdiśi/ trimśadyojanavistīrnā svarnaprākāratoranā, mayā lanketi nagarī śakrājñaptena nirmitā/ tasyām vasata durdharsāh puryām rāksasasattamāh, amarāvatīm samāsādya sendrā iva divaukasah/ lankādurgam samāsādya rākṣasair bahubhir vṛtāḥ, bhaviṣyatha durādharṣāḥ śatrūṇām śatrusūdanāh/ viśvakarmavacah śrutvā tatas te rāma rākṣasāḥ, sahasrānucarā gatvā lankām tām avasan purīm/ dṛḍhaprākāraparikhām haimair gṛhaśatair vṛtām, lankām avāpya te hṛṣṭā viharanti niśācarāh/ narmadā nāma gandharvī nānādharmasamedhitā, tasyāḥ kanyātrayaṁ hy āsīd dhīśrīkīrtisamadyuti/ jyesthakramena sā tesām rāksasānām arāksasī, kanyās tāh pradadau hṛstā pūrnacandranibhānanāh/ trayānām rāksasendrānām tisro gandharvakanyakāh, mātrā dattā mahābhāgā naksatre bhagadaivate/ kṛtadārās tu te rāma sukeśatanayāḥ prabho, bhāryābhiḥ saha cikrīḍur apsarobhir ivāmarāḥ/ tatra mālyavato bhārvā sundarī nāma sundarī, sa tasvām janavām āsa vad apatvam nibodha tat/vajramustir

virūpākṣo durmukhaś caiva rākṣasaḥ, suptaghno yajñakopaś ca mattonmattau tathaiva ca, analā cābhavat kanyā sundaryām rāma sundarī/ sumālino 'pi bhāryāsīt pūrṇacandranibhānanā, nāmnā ketumatī nāma prāṇebhyo 'pi garīyasī/ sumālī janayām āsa yad apatyam niśācaraḥ, ketumatyām mahārāja tan nibodhānupūrvaśaḥ/ prahasto 'kampanaiś caiva vikaṭaḥ kālakārmukaḥ, dhūmrākśaś cātha daṇḍaś ca supārśvaś ca mahābalaḥ/ samhrādiḥ praghasaś caiva bhāsakarṇaś ca rākṣasaḥ, rākā puṣpotkaṭā caiva kaikasī ca śucismitā, kumbhīnasī ca ity ete sumāleḥ prasavāḥ smrṭāḥ/ māles tu vasudā nāma gandharvī rūpaśālinī, bhāryāsīt padmapatrākṣī svakṣī yakṣīvaropamā/ sumāler anujas tasyām janayām āsa yat prabho, apatyam kathyamānam tan mayā tvam śṛṇu rāghava/ analaś cānilaś caiva haraḥ sampātir eva ca, ete vibhīṣaṇāmātyā māleyās te niśācarāḥ/ tatas tu te rākṣasapumgavās trayo; niśācaraiḥ putraśataiś ca samvṛtāḥ, surān sahendrān rṣināgadānavān; babādhire te balavīryadarpitāḥ/ jagad bhramanto 'nilavad durāsadā; raṇe ca mrtyupratimāḥ samāhitāḥ, varapradānād abhigarvitā bhṛśam; kratukriyāṇām praśamamkarāḥ sadā/

Agastya further detailed to Shri Rama of the births of other Rakshasaas: Sukesha of the previous sarga had married Devayati the daughter of Gramani named Gandharva. In course of time Devayati gave birth to three sons named Malyavan-Sumali- and Mali who were of the tejas of the three agnis of 'garhapatyaaahavaneeya and dakshaneeya' and Sukesha was immensely pleased at the birth. The boys had in course of time were of the triloka susthirata or of stability, tri shaktis of tri vedas of rik-yajur-samaas, and of the 'nirogas' of their physiques viz. 'vaata-pitta-kapha'. As the three sons thus grew as 'dina dina-varsha varsha vardhamanas' they proceeded for tapasya towards Meru Parvata. Afer a very long and rigourous tapasya, Brahma Deva arrived and the three tapasvis requested for their fraternal affection, long life and of invincibile courage and 'shatru vijaya'. Fortfied with the boons of Brahama, the nishaaharaas then started off frightening and despairing Deva-Rishi- Chaarana samudaayaas, let alone manushyaas. Raghu vamsha Shri Rama! They approached Vishvakarma the Maha Shilpi and requested him to construct a Maha Nagari which should put Devendra's Amaraavati to disgrace. They explained that at the foot steps of Trikuta and Suvela Parvataas at the shores of Dakshina Maha Sagara and requested him to build a thirty yojanas width and hundred yojanas of length with gold like glittering 'rahadaaris' which the impenetrability with an air of mystery and impeccable perfection. As Vishvakarma had thus constructed Lankapuri even excelling Amaravati, the three rakshasa veeraas commenced to live in there in Maha Bhavanaas and wedded three 'apurupa sundari gandharva kanyas' viz. Hree- Shree-Keerti. Malyavan and his wife Anurupa had eventually given birth to Vajramushti, Virupaaksha, Durmukha, Suptaghna, Yajgnakopa, Matta, Unmatta. Sumali and his wife Ketumati gave birth to Prahasta, Akampana, Vikata, Kaalikaamukha, Dhumraaksha, Danda, Supaarshva, Samhlaadi, Prathasa, and Bhaasakarna. Sumali's putris were Raaka, Pushpotkata, Kaikasi, and Kumbheenasi. Maali and his wife Vasuda's putras were Anala, Anila, Hara and Sampaati who were also the mantris of Vibhishana even now. Further, the grandsons of Manlavan-Sumali and Maali had further attained enormous ability and bravery in their ebullient youthfulness.

Sarga Six

<u>Sukesha putras Maalyavan-Sumali-and Mali having performed long tapasya and achieved Brahma</u>

Varaas, became arrogant and ambitious, tormented Devas and even got prepared to attack Vishnu Himself

Tair vadhyamānā devāś ca rṣayaś ca tapodhanāḥ, bhayārtāḥ śaraṇam jagmur devadevam maheśvaram/
te sametya tu kāmārim tripurārim trilocanam, ūcuḥ prāñjalayo devā bhayagadgadabhāṣiṇaḥ/
sukeśaputrair bhagavan pitāmahavaroddhataiḥ, prajādhyakṣa prajāḥ sarvā bādhyante ripubādhana/
śaraṇyāny aśaraṇyāni āśramāṇi krtāni naḥ, svargāc ca cyāvitaḥ śakraḥ svarge krīḍanti śakravat/ aham
viṣṇur aham rudro brahmāham devarāḍ aham, aham yamo 'ham varuṇaś candro 'ham ravir apy aham/
iti te rākṣasā deva varadānena darpitāḥ, bādhante samaroddharṣā ye ca teṣām puraḥsarāḥ/ tan no
devabhayārtānām abhayam dātum arhasi, aśivam vapur āsthāya jahi daivatakaṇṭakān/ ity uktas tu suraiḥ
sarvaiḥ kapardī nīlalohitaḥ, sukeśam prati sāpekṣa āha devagaṇān prabhuḥ/ nāham tān nihaniṣyāmi

avadhyā mama te 'surāh, kim tu mantram pradāsyāmi yo vai tān nihanisyati/ evam eva samudyogam puraskrtya surarsabhāh, gacchantu śaranam visnum hanisyati sa tān prabhuh/ tatas te jayaśabdena pratinandya maheśvaram, visnoh samīpam ājagmur niśācarabhayārditāh/ śankhacakradharam devam praṇamya bahumānya ca, ūcuḥ saṁbhrāntavad vākyaṁ sukeśatanayārditāḥ/ sukeśatanayair devatribhis tretāgnisamnibhaih, ākramva varadānena sthānānv apahrtāni nah/ lankā nāma purī durgā trikūtaśikhare sthitā, tatra sthitāḥ prabādhante sarvān naḥ kṣaṇadācarāḥ/ sa tvam asmatpriyārtham tu jahi tān madhusūdana, cakrakṛttāsyakamalān nivedaya yamāya vai/ bhayeṣv abhayado 'smākam nānyo 'sti bhavatā samah, nuda tvam no bhavam deva nīhāram iva bhāskarah/ itv evam daivatair ukto devadevo janārdanah, abhayam bhayado 'rīnām dattvā devān uvāca ha/ sukeśam rāksasam jāne īśāna varadarpitam, tāms cāsya tanayāñ jāne yeṣām jyeṣṭhaḥ sa mālyavān/ tān aham samatikrāntamaryādān rāksasādhamān, sūdayisyāmi samgrāme surā bhavata vijvarāh/ itv uktās te surāh sarve visnunā prabhaviṣṇunā, yathā vāsam yayur hṛṣṭāḥ praśamanto janārdanam/ vibudhānām samudyogam mālyavān sa niśācarah, śrutvā tau bhrātarau vīrāv idam vacanam abravīt/ amarā ṛṣayaś caiva samhatya kila śamkaram, asmadvadham parīpsanta idam ūcus trilocanam/ sukeśatanayā deva varadānabaloddhatāḥ, bādhante 'smān samudyuktā ghorarūpāh pade pade/ rāksasair abhibhūtāh sma na śaktāh sma umāpate, sveşu veśmasu samsthātum bhayāt teṣām durātmanām/ tad asmākam hitārthe tvam jahi tāms tāms trilocana, rākṣasān humkṛtenaiva daha pradahatām vara/ ity evam tridaśair ukto niśamyāndhaka sūdanah, śirah karam ca dhunyāna idam yacanam abrayīt/ ayadhyā mama te deyāh sukeśatanayā rane, mantram tu vah pradāsyāmi yo vai tān nihanisyati/ yah sa cakragadāpānih pītavāsā janārdanah, hanişyati sa tān yuddhe śaraṇam tam prapadyatha/ harān nāvāpya te kāmam kāmārim abhivādya ca, nārāyaṇālayam prāptās tasmai sarvam nyavedayan/ tato nārāyaṇenoktā devā indrapurogamāḥ, surārīn sūdayisyāmi surā bhavata vijvarāḥ/ devānām bhayabhītānām harinā rākṣasarṣabhau, pratijñāto vadho 'smākam tac cintayatha yat ksamam/ hiranyakaśipor mrtyur anyesām ca suradvisām, duhkham nārāyaṇam jetum yo no hantum abhīpsati/ tataḥ sumālī mālī ca śrutvā mālyavato vacaḥ, ūcatur bhrātaram jyestham bhagāmśāv iva vāsavam/ svadhītam dattam istam ca aiśvaryam paripālitam, āyur nirāmayam prāptam svadharmah sthāpitas ca nah/ devasāgaram aksobhyam sastraughaih pravigāhya ca, jitā devā raņe nityam na no mṛtyukṛtam bhayam/ nārāyaṇaś ca rudraś ca śakraś cāpi yamas tathā, asmākam pramukhe sthātum sarva eva hi bibhvati/ visnor dosas ca nāstv atra kāranam rāksasesvara, devānām eva dosena visnoh pracalitam manah/ tasmād adva samudvuktāh sarvasainvasamāvrtāh, devān eva jighāmsāmo yebhyo doṣaḥ samutthitaḥ/iti mālī sumālī ca mālyavān agrajaḥ prabhuḥ, udyogam ghosayitvātha rāksasāh sarva eva te, yuddhāya niryayuh kruddhā jambhavrtrabalā iva/ syandanair vāranendrais ca hayais ca girisamnibhaih, kharair gobhir athostrais ca simsumārair bhujam gamaih/ makaraih kacchapair mīnair vihamgair garudopamaih, simhair vyāghrair varāhaiś ca srmaraiś camarair api/ tyaktvā lankām tatah sarve rāksasā balagarvitāh, prayātā devalokāya yoddhum daivataśatravah/ lankāviparyayam drstvā yāni lankālayāny atha, bhūtāni bhayadarśīni vimanaskāni sarvaśah/bhaumās tathāntarikṣāś ca kālājñaptā bhayāvahāḥ, utpātā rākṣasendrāṇām abhāvāyotthitā drutam/ asthīni meghā varşanti uşnam sonitam eva ca, velām samudro 'py utkrāntas' calante cācalottamāḥ/ aṭṭahāsān vimuñcanto ghananādasamasvanān, bhūtāḥ paripatanti sma nṛtyamānāḥ sahasraśaḥ gṛdhracakram mahac cāpi įvalanodgāribhir mukhaiḥ, rākṣasānām upari vai bhramate kālacakravat/ tān acintyamahotpātān rākṣasā balagarvitāḥ, yanty eva na nivartante mṛtyupāśāvapāśitāḥ/ mālyavāmś ca sumālī ca mālī ca rajanīcarāh, āsan purahsarās tesām kratūnām iva pāvakāh/ mālyavantam tu te sarve mālyavantam ivācalam, niśācarā āśrayante dhātāram iva dehinah/ tad balam rāksasendrānām mahābhraghananāditam, jayepsayā devalokam yayau mālī vaśe sthitam/ rāksasānām samudyogam tam tu nārāyaṇaḥ prabhuḥ, devadūtād upaśrutya dadhre yuddhe tato manaḥ/ sa devasiddharṣimahoragaiś ca; gandharvamukhyāpsarasopagītaḥ, samāsasādāmaraśatrusainyam; cakrāsisīrapravarādidhārī/ suparņapakṣānilanunnapakṣam; bhramatpatākam pravikīrņaśastram, cacāla tad rākṣasarājasainyam; calopalo nīla ivācalendraļ/ tatha śitaiḥ śoṇitamāmsarūṣitair; yugāntavaiśvānaratulyavigrahaiḥ, niśācarāh samparivārya mādhavam; varāyudhair nirbibhiduh sahasraśah/

Agastya Maha Muni addressing Shri Rama informed that Devas approached 'Trinetri the Kaama naashaka, Tripura naashaka Parama Shiva' that Brahmas's varadaana emboldened the Sukesha Putras to

hurt us and had been freely visiting Swarga Loka asserting that they were themselves the tri murtis of Vishnu-Rudra and Brahma, let alone Indra-Yama Raja-Varuna, Chandra, Suryas and had been bragging with 'ahamkaara'. Then Bhagavan Shankara explained to the Deva ganaas stating that He and Devi Parvati saved Sukesha once before and as such they might like to approach Bhagavan Vishnu. There after the Deva Maharshi ganaas reached Vaikuntha and repeated their request with redoubled emphasis. Vishnu relplied: 'yes, I am aware of Sukesha Rakshasa who was blessed by Shiva Parvatis, and of his sons like Malyavan and brothers who had been tormenting you by breaching the principles of dharma out of arrogance, bravado and selfishness. Don't you worry, I should destroy them and you might return with peace of mind'. Then Malyavan addressed Rakshasaas explaining: 'Rakshasa shiromanis! As the frightened Devas headed by Indra approached Narayana who assured that he would destroy all the rakshasas. Now we should consider this development seriously. We are aware that Hiranyakashipu and his daitya followers were forwarded to mrityu. Namuchi, Kalanemi, Samhlada, Radheya, Yamalaarjuna, Hradikya, Shumbha Nikumbhaaddi mahasuras were devastated by Bhagavan Vishnu and thus indeed we should realise the implication involved in Vishnu's assurance to Devatas now.' Reacting to what stated, Sumali and Mali replied just as what Ashvini Kumars addressed Indra: Brother! We had all undergone the process of swaadhyaaya, daana karmas, and yagjnaas. We have had aishvarya and its consequences too like 'arogya and ayu prapti' and the 'kartavya maarga uttama karma siddhi'. Further, we by the virtue of 'shaastra bala' had successefully entered maha samudras and devastated enemies being truly have no mrityu bhaya at all. nārāyanaś ca rudraś ca śakraś cāpi yamas tathā, asmākam pramukhe sthātum sarva eva hi bibhyati/ viṣṇor doṣaś ca nāsty atra kāraṇam rākṣaseśvara, devānām eva doṣeṇa viṣṇoḥ pracalitam manah/ tasmād adva samudvuktāh sarvasainvasamāvrtāh, devān eva jighāmsāmo vebhvo dosah samutthitah/ Trust us brother, even Narayana, Rudra, Indra and Yama Raja might hesitate to face us. In fact Vishnu should have no reason at all to attach us as we never had made any kind of misdeed against him but might have promised rakshasa vadha in a casual manner but not seriously reacting to Deva's 'ha ha kaaraas'!' Thus Sumali and Mali having self assured themselves moved out fast to attack Deva samuhas with overconfidence.' Agastha Muni continued: 'Shri Rama! Thus the arrogant rakshasaas were equipped with chariots, horses, elephants, oxen, donkeys, camels, poisonous snakes, crododiles, simha-shardulaadi vahanaas. lankālavāny atha, bhūtāni bhavadarśīni vimanaskāni sarvaśah/bhaumās tathāntariksāś ca kālājñaptā bhayāyahāh, utpātā rāksasendrānām abhāyāyotthitā drutam/ Lankapuri citizens and even 'graama devataas' were worried in their own psyche as 'apashakunas' were experienced by them. As though Kaala Devata was provoked, there were bhayankara utpaadaas indicating rakshasa vinaasha.asthīni meghā varsanti usnam sonitam eva ca, velām samudro 'py utkrāntas calante cācalottamāh/ attahāsān vimuñcanto ghananādasamasvanān, bhūtāh paripatanti sma nrtyamānāh sahasraśah/From the clouds above, there were rains of blood and bones as parvatatas too were swinging, besides,' Megha samana dhwanis', owl crying screeches, and such horribly frightening omens. Malyavan-Sumali- and Maali proceeded to attack devaganas like groups of red flames. Then Narayana too decided to participate in the onslaught. Bhagavan Maha Vishnu had positioned on his body as of thousands of Survas, adorned with shankha-chakra-gadasharanga dhanush alighted on Garuda deva, as followed by Indraadi Deva samuhas, as Siddhha-Devarshi- Maha Naaga-Gandharva-Yakshadi celestials were praising his ever memorable glories.

Sarga Seven

Malyavan the eldest warned Sumali and Maali against attacking Narayana but Sumali having been hurt by Vishnu' baanaas' fled away as Maali hurt Garuda but was finally killed by Vishnu chakra.

Nārāyaṇagirim te tu garjanto rākṣasāmbudāḥ, avarṣann iṣuvarṣeṇa varṣeṇādrim ivāmbudāḥ/ śyāmāvadātas tair viṣṇur nīlair naktamcarottamaiḥ, vrto 'ñjanagirīvāsīd varṣamāṇaiḥ payodharaiḥ/ śalabhā iva kedāram maśakā iva parvatam, yathāmrtaghaṭam jīvā makarā iva cārṇavam/ tathā rakṣodhanur muktā vajrānilamanojavāḥ, harim viśanti sma śarā lokāstam iva paryaye/ syandanaiḥ svandanagatā gajaiś ca gajadhūr gatāh, aśvārohāh sadaśvaiś ca pādātāś cāmbare carāh/ rākṣasendrā

girinibhāh śaraśaktyrstitomaraih, nirucchvāsam harim cakruh prānāyāma iva dvijam/ niśācarais tudyamāno mīnair iva mahātimih, śārngam āyamya gātrāni rāksasānām mahāhave/ śaraih pūrņāyatotsṛṣṭair vajravaktrair manojavaih, ciccheda tilaśo viṣṇuḥ śataśo 'tha sahasraśaḥ/ vidrāvya śaravarşam tam varşam vāyur ivotthitam, pāñcajanyam mahāśankham pradadhmau puruşottamah/ so 'mbujo harinā dhmātah sarvaprānena śaṅkharāt, rarāsa bhīmanihrādo vugānte jalado vathā/ śankharājaravaḥ so 'tha trāsayām āsa rākṣasān, mṛgarāja ivāraṇye samadān iva kuñjarān/ na śekur aśvāḥ saṃsthātum vimadāḥ kuñjarābhavan, syandanebhyaś cyutā yodhāḥ śaṅkharāvitadurbalāḥ/ śārṅgacāpavinirmuktā vajratulyānanāḥ śarāḥ, vidārya tāni rakṣāṁsi supuṅkhā viviśuḥ kṣitim/bhidyamānāḥ śaraiś cānye nārāyaṇadhanuścyutaiḥ, nipetū rākṣasā bhīmāḥ śailā vajrahatā iva/ vraņair vraņakarārīņām adhokṣajaśarodbhavaiḥ, asrk kṣaranti dhārābhiḥ svarṇadhārām ivācalāḥ/ śankharājaravas cāpi sārngacāparavas tathā, rāksasānām ravāms cāpi grasate vaisnavo ravah/sūryād iva karā ghorā ūrmayah sāgarād iva, parvatād iva nāgendrā vāryoghā iva cāmbudāt/ tathā bānā vinirmuktāḥ śārṅgān narāyaṇeritāḥ, nirdhāvantīṣavas tūrṇaṁ śataśo 'tha sahasraśaḥ/ śarabheṇa yathā simhāḥ simhena dviradā yathā, dviradena yathā vyāghrā vyāghreṇa dvīpino yathā/ dvīpinā ca yathā śvānah śunā mārjārakā yathā, mārjārena yathā sarpāh sarpena ca yathākhayah/ tathā te rāksasā yuddhe viṣṇunā prabhaviṣṇunā, dravanti drāvitās caiva sāyitās ca mahītale/ rākṣasānām sahasrāṇi nihatya madhusūdanaḥ, vārijam nādayām āsa toyadam surarāḍ iva/ nārāyaṇaśaragrastam śankhanādasuvihvalam, yayau lankām abhimukham prabhagnam rāksasam balam/ prabhagne rāksasabale nārāyanaśarāhate, sumālī śaravarsena āvavāra rane harim/ utksipya hemābharanam karam karam iva dvipah, rarāsa rākṣaso harṣāt sataḍit toyado yathā/ sumāler nardatas tasya śiro jvalitakundalam, ciccheda yantur aśvāś ca bhrāntās tasya tu rakṣasaḥ/ tair aśvair bhrāmyate bhrāntaiḥ sumālī rākṣaseśvaraḥ, indriyāśvair yathā bhrāntair dhṛtihīno yathā naraḥ/ mālī cābhyadravad yuddhe pragrhya saśaram dhanuh, māler dhanuścyutā bānāh kārtasvaravibhūsitāh, viviśur harim āsādya krauñcam patrarathā iva/ ardyamānah śaraih so 'tha mālimuktaih sahasraśah cuksubhe na rane visnur jitendriya ivādhibhih/ atha maurvī svanam krtvā bhagavān bhūtabhāvanah, mālinam prati bānaughān sasarjāsigadādharaḥ/ te mālideham āsādya vajravidyutprabhāḥ śarāḥ, pibanti rudhiram tasya nāgā iva purāmṛtam/ mālinam vimukham kṛtvā mālimaulim harir balāt, ratham ca sadhvajam cāpam vājinas ca nyapātavat/ virathas tu gadām grhya mālī naktamcarottamah, āpupluve gadāpāṇir giryagrād iva keṣarī/ sa tayā garudam samkhye īśānam iva cāntakah, lalāṭadeśe 'bhyahanad vajrenendro yathācalam/ gadayābhihatas tena mālinā garudo bhṛśam, raṇāt parānmukham devam kṛtavān vedanāturaḥ/ parānmukhe krte deve mālinā garudena vai, udatisthan mahānādo raksasām abhinardatām/ raksasām nadatām nādam śrutvā harihayānujaḥ, parānmukho 'py utsasarja cakram mālijighāmsayā/ tat sūryamandalābhāsam svabhāsā bhāsayan nabhah, kālacakranibham cakram māleh śīrsam apātayat/ tacchiro rāksasendrasya cakrotkṛttam vibhīsanam, papāta rudhirodgāri purā rāhuśiro yathā/ tatah suraih susamhrstaih sarvaprānasamīritah, simhanādaravo muktah sādhu deveti vādibhih/ mālinam nihatam drstvā sumālī malyavān api, sabalau śokasamtaptau lankām prati vidhāvitau/ garuḍas tu samāśvastah samnivrtya mahāmanāh, rākṣasān drāvayām āsa pakṣavātena kopitaḥ/ nārāyaṇo 'pīṣuvarāśanībhir; vidārayām āsa dhanuhpramuktaih, naktamcarān muktavidhūtakeśān; vathāśanībhih satadinmahendrah/ bhinnātapatram patamānaśastram; śarair apadhvastavišīrnadeham, vinihsrtāntram bhavalolanetram; balam tad unmattanibham babhūva/ simhārditānām iva kuñjarāṇām; niśācarāṇām saha kuñjarāṇām, ravāś ca vegāś ca samam babhūvuh; purānasimhena vimarditānām/ samchādyamānā haribānajālaih; svabānajālāni samutsrjantah, dhāvanti naktamcarakālameghā; vāyupranunnā iva kālameghāh/ cakraprahārair vinikrttaśīrsāh; samcūrnitāngāś ca gadāprahāraih, asiprahārair bahudhā vibhaktāh; patanti śailā iva rākṣasendrāh/ cakrakṛttāsyakamalā gadāsamcūrnitorasah, lāngalaglapitagrīvā musalair bhinnamastakāḥ/ ke cic caivāsinā chinnās tathānye śaratāḍitāḥ, nipetur ambarāt tūrṇam rākṣasāḥ sāgarāmbhasi/ tadāmbaram vigalitahārakuṇḍalair; niśācarair nīlabalāhakopamaiḥ, nipātyamānair dadṛśe nirantaram; nipātyamānair iva nīlaparvataiḥ/

Bhagavan Vishnu's hand- released arrows had pierced through the eleplant like bodies of the Nishacharas. 'Shri Hari divya maha chakra' penetrated the rakshasa ' vishala dehas' flooding 'rakta dhaaraas' like gushes of mountian waters. The over awing shankha raaja dhwanis, sharanga dhanush

thankaara and Bhagavan's garjanaas were drops of waters as compared to the tumultuous and chaotic 'kokaahala' of the multitudes rakshaas. The 'parvataakaara rakshasaas' were virtually exploded with their heads, ayudhas, ratha dhwajas, chariots, saraadhis, horses, donkeys and simha shardula sarpas. tathā bāṇā vinirmuktāḥ śārngān narāyaṇeritāḥ, nirdhāvantīṣavas tūrṇam śataśo 'tha sahasraśaḥ/ śarabheṇa vathā simhāh simhena dviradā vathā, dviradena vathā vvāghrā vvāghrena dvīpino vathā/ dvīpinā ca yathā śvānaḥ śunā mārjārakā yathā, mārjāreṇa yathā sarpāḥ sarpeṇa ca yathākhavaḥ/ tathā te rākṣasā yuddhe viṣṇunā prabhaviṣṇunā, dravanti drāvitāś caiva śāyitāś ca mahītale/Bhagavan Narayana's arrows as released from his sharanga dhanush in 'pravaahaas' were hitting the rakshasaas here, there and every where as they too were running in panic and pandemonium shock, even while the sharabhas were flocked with lions, lions with elephants, elephants with tigers, cheetahs with wild dogs, while dogs were crying, serpents were hissing everywhere as frogs were rattled my groups of mice. Thus Rakshasaas were laid to grounds for ever. rāksasānām sahasrāni nihatya madhusūdanah, vārijam nādayām āsa toyadam surarād iva/ nārāyaṇaśaragrastam śankhanādasuvihvalam, yayau lankām abhimukham prabhagnam rākṣasam balam/ prabhagne rāksasabale nārāyanaśarāhate, sumālī śaravarsena āvavāra rane harim/ As Bhagavan Madhusudana sounded his 'shankha paanchajanya', Indra appeared to have rained his megha jalaas on earth. His baana prahaaraas and shankha naadas made the rakshasa sena to run back to Lankapuri. Yet Sumali prevented the rakshasaas to run back. He then sought to pump in confidence and having been pacified the rakshasas. Once again there was another severe attack on Narayana. Maha Vishnu then hit with his severe baana prahaaraas the Sumaali's ratha chaalaka's head and further the horses too. Maali rakashasa took over the attack Naryana as the rakshasa's arrows in thousands had perforated Vishnu shareera. But there was a hardly any impact on Narayana. atha maurvī svanam kṛtvā bhagavān bhūtabhāvanaḥ, mālinam prati bāṇaughān sasarjāsigadādharaḥ/ te mālideham āsādya vajravidyutprabhāh śarāh, pibanti rudhiram tasva nāgā iva purāmrtam/ mālinam vimukham krtvā mālimaulim harir balāt, ratham ca sadhvajam cāpam vājinas ca nyapātayat/Subsequently Bhagavan Vishnu with his 'chaturbahus' with shankha chakra gadas, raised his fourth hand with dhanusthankaara and released his 'baana samuuhas' which pierced through the rakshas's body parts as blood spilled out as though maha sarpaas were enjoying 'amrita paana'. Then Maali Rakshasa sought to retreat and run back, then Shri Hari severed his kireeta, dhwaja, and dhanush.virathas tu gadām grhya mālī naktamcarottamah, āpupluve gadāpānir girvagrād iva kesarī/ sa tavā garudam samkhve īśānam iva cāntakaḥ, lalāṭadeśe 'bhyahanad vajreṇendro yathācalam/ gadayābhihatas tena mālinā garuḍo bhṛśam, ranāt parānmukham devam krtavān vedanāturah/ parānmukhe krte deve mālinā garudena vai, udatisthan mahānādo raksasām abhinardatām/Ratha heena Maali rakshasa lept forward with his 'gadaa' against Narayana Vahana the Maha Garuda like a ferocious lion sought to jump up high to a mountain top and fell down and further on the analogy of Yama Raja tried his best to hit Shiva with his yama paasha, or Indra tried to smack his vajra prahara on 'meru parvata'. rakṣasām nadatām nādam śrutvā harihayānujaḥ, parānmukho 'py utsasarja cakram mālijighāmsayā/ tat sūryamandalābhāsam svabhāsā bhāsayan nabhaḥ, kālacakranibhaṁ cakraṁ māleḥ śīrṣam apātayat/ tacchiro rākṣasendrasya cakrotkṛttaṁ vibhīsanam, papāta rudhirodgāri purā rāhuśiro vathā/Garuda was hurt severely with his wings swinging left and right and recovered gradually while rakshasaas felt elated jumping with joy. Narayana then frowned his eyebrows and decided to swing his ckara like the kaala chakra as its hit snapped the raksha mastaka from which came out rakta pravaahaas and got dropped down to earth like that of Rahu graha. As Maali died thus Sumali and Maali too were frightened away and ran back to Lankapuri with the rest of the rakshasa sena, while Deva gana extolled Narayana. Meanwhile Garuda got recouped of the pain of his wings and made minced meat of the rakshasas fleeing back with vengeance even as the retreating Vishnu chakra too were traced and crushed to earth. Sumali then fled away to Rasaatala and his putra poutras too remained settled down there.

Sarga Eight

Malyavan defeated by Vishnu as Sumaali and rakshasaas shifed to Rasaatala

Hanyamāne bale tasmin padmanābhena prsthatah, mālyavān samnivrtto 'tha velātiga ivārnavah' samraktanayanah kopāc calan maulir niśācarah, padmanābham idam prāha vacanam paruṣam tadā/ nārāyana na jānīṣe kṣatradharmam sanātanam, ayuddhamanaso bhagnān yo 'smān hamsi yathetarah/ parānmukhavadham pāpam yaḥ karoti sureśvara, sa hantā na gataḥ svargam labhate puṇyakarmaṇām/ vuddhaśraddhātha vā te 'sti śaṅkhacakragadādhara, ahaṁ sthito 'smi paśyāmi balaṁ darśaya yat taya/ uvāca rākṣasendram tam devarājānujo balī, yuṣmatto bhayabhītānām devānām vai mayābhayam, rākṣasotsādanam dattam tad etad anupālyate/ prāṇair api priyam kāryam devānām hi sadā mayā, so 'haṁ vo nihanisyāmi rasātalagatān api/ devam evaṁ bruyānaṁ tu raktāmburuhalocanam, śaktyā bibheda samkruddho rāksasendro rarāsa ca/ mālyavad bhujanirmuktā śaktir ghantākrtasvanā, harer urasi babhrāja meghastheva śatahradā/tatas tām eva cotkṛṣya śaktim śaktidharapriyah, mālyavantam samuddiśya ciksepāmburuheksanah/ skandotsṛsteva sā śaktir govindakaranihsṛtā, kāṅksantī rāksasaṁ prāyān maholkevāñjanācalam/ sā tasyorasi vistīrne hārabhāsāvabhāsite, apatad rāksasendrasya girikūta ivāśanih/ tayā bhinnatanutrāṇāh prāviśad vipulam tamah, mālyavān punar āśvastas tasthau girir ivācalaḥ/ tataḥ kārṣṇāyasam śūlam kaṇṭakair bahubhiś citam, pragrhyābhyahanad devam stanayor antare drdham/ tathaiya ranaraktas tu mustinā vāsayānujam, tādayityā dhanurmātram apakrānto niśācarah/ tato 'mbare mahāñ śabdaḥ sādhu sādhv iti cotthitaḥ, āhatya rākṣaso viṣṇum garuḍam cāpy atāḍayat/ vainateyas tataḥ kruddhaḥ pakṣavātena rākṣasam, vyapohad balavān vāyuḥ śuṣkaparṇacayam vathā/ dvijendrapaksavātena drāvitam drśya pūrvajam, sumālī svabalaih sārdham lankām abhimukho yayau/ paksavātabaloddhūto mālyavān api rāksasah, svabalena samāgamya yayau lankām hriyā vṛtah/ evam te rākṣasā rāma harinā kamalekṣaṇa, bahuśah samyuge bhagnā hatapravaranāyakāh/ aśaknuvantas te viṣṇum pratiyoddhum bhayārditāh, tyaktvā lankām gatā vastum pātālam sahapatnayah/ sumālinam samāsādya rākṣasam raghunandana, sthitāḥ prakhyātavīryās te vamse sālakaṭankaṭe/ ye tvayā nihatās te vai paulastyā nāma rākṣasāḥ, sumālī mālyavān mālī ye ca teṣām puraḥsarāḥ, sarva ete mahābhāga rāvanād balavattarāh/ na cānyo raksasām hantā suresv api puramjaya, rte nārāyanam devam śankhacakragadādharam/ bhavān nārāyano devaś caturbāhuh sanātanah, rāksasān hantum utpanno ajeyah prabhur avyayah/

Agastya Maha Muni continued to Shri Rama further. As both Garuda and Vishnu kept on chasing the rakshasas who were fleeing back to Lankapuri, Malyavan the eldest son of Sukesha desired to attack Narayana and heckled him saying that on the pretext of chasing rakshasaas, he should not leave the yuddha bumi and that would not by called kshaatra dharma, any way. Then he shouted on Narayana: ' stay back and face me if you can! Let my see how much of bravery do you possess.' Maha Vishnu replied: 'You stupid Rakshasa! I am chasing rakshasaas to uproot them only to return as I had made a pratigina to destroy you all Rakshasaas. Either you all rakshasaas are got rid of, or run to Rasatala.' Then the furious Malyavan had hurriedly tossed his shakti ayudha on Vishnu and hurt his chest. tatas tām eva cotkrsya śaktim śaktidharapriyah, mālyavantam samuddiśya ciksepāmburuheksanah/ skandotsrsteva sā śaktir govindakaraniḥsrtā, kāṅkṣantī rākṣasam prāyān maholkevāñjanācalam/ sā tasyorasi vistīrņe hārabhāsāvabhāsite, apatad rāksasendrasva girikūta ivāśanih/Then with the same Shakti Ayudha looked to have assumed the form of Kartikeya the Maha Shakti dhaari was hurled back by Vishnu right back the rakshasa as though a mighty 'ulka' or a meteor had hit anjanagiri. As tha Shakti Ayudha was forcefully tossed back, Malyavan's loha kavacha was destroyed as Malyavan was distressed and shocked for a while. tatah kārṣṇāyasam śūlam kaṇṭakair bahubhiś citam, pragrhyābhyahanad devam stanayor antare dṛdham/ tathaiva ranaraktas tu mustinā vāsavānujam, tādayitvā dhanurmātram apakrānto niśācarah/tato 'mbare mahāñ śabdaḥ sādhu sādhv iti cotthitaḥ, āhatya rākṣaso viṣṇum garuḍam cāpy atāḍayat/ Then the rakshasa pitched a mighty shula with sharp iron nails studded thereinto at Bhagavan as the latter too was hurt. Then the Rakshasaas were delighted raising sky high harshanaadaas. vainateyas tatah kruddhah pakṣavātena rākṣasam, vyapohad balavān vāyuḥ śuṣkaparṇacayam yathā/ dvijendrapakṣavātena drāvitam drśya pūrvajam, sumālī svabalaih sārdham lankām abhimukho yayau/ paksavātabaloddhūto mālyavān api rāksasah, svabalena samāgamya yayau lankām hriyā vrtah Vinatanandna Garudeva at that point of time was fumed up and with the high speed of his huge wings created a sand storm which hurled off Malyavan even upto Lankapuri. Then Sumali and the rakshasaas quickly made their way back to

Lanka, even as the highly ashamed Malyavan had no other way except to save himself. evam te rāksasā rāma harinā kamaleksana, bahuśah samyuge bhagnā hatapravaranāyakāh/ aśaknuvantas te visnum pratiyoddhum bhayārditāḥ, tyaktvā lankām gatā vastum pātālam sahapatnayaḥ/ sumālinam samāsādya rākṣasam raghunandana, sthitāḥ prakhyātavīryās te vamse sālakaṭankaṭe/ Agastya Mahamuni then continued his narration: 'Kamala nayana Shri Rama! In this manner in each and every battle against Vishnu, all the principal maha rakshasaas were getting destroyed or running away ashamed. This is a proven factuality that none indeed could negate his invincibility. This was how the nishacharaas had been making a bee line to Patala along with wives and progeny. Raghu shreshtha! That vikhyata Saalakatankata vasha vidyaamaan rakshasa Sumali's refuge thus became the last resort. *ye tvayā* nihatās te vai paulastyā nāma rāksasāh, sumālī mālyavān mālī ye ca tesām purahsarāh, sarva ete mahābhāga rāvanād balavattarāh/ na cānyo raksasām hantā suresv api puramjaya, rte nārāyanam devam śankhacakragadādharam/ bhavān nārāyano devaś caturbāhuh sanātanah, rāksasān hantum utpanno ajeyah prabhur avyayah/ Shri Rama! Do realise now that this generation of rakshasaas of Pulasthya Vamsha as uprooted by you now was far inferior than those of the past generations of Sumali, Malyavan and Mali; indeed those were of fareaching magnificence; their prowess was backed of my thousands of spotless and 'nishkama kartavya ghora tapasyaas' as compared to the 'bhoga laalasa rakshasaas' as of now like Ravana. Only Bhagavan Narayana himself was necessitated to extinguish them At the same time, Shri Rama! You are indeed the manifestation of Maha Vishnu Himself! Bhayaan Narayano devaschaturbaahuh sanaatanah, raakshasaan hantumutpanno hyaajasya prabhuravyayah/You are the 'avataara' of Vishnu, who had arrived here for devastating rakshasaas and uplifting dharma and nyaaya, proving once again: dharma samshaapanaaya sambhayaami yuge yuge/

Sarga Nine

<u>Vishrava and Kaikasi gave birth to Ravana, Shurpanakha, Kumbhakarna, Vibhishanas as Kubera the</u> cousin, reaches Ravana who out of jealousy of Kubera decides to performs deergha tapsya at Gokarna

Kasya cit tv atha kālasya sumālī nāma rāksasah, rasātalān martyalokam sarvam vai vicacāra ha, nīlajīmūtasamkāśas taptakāñcanakundalah, kanyām duhitaram grhya vinā padmam iya śriyam, athāpaśyat sa gacchantam puspakena dhaneśvaram/ tam dṛṣṭvāmarasamkāśam gacchantam pāvakopamam, athābbravīt sutām raksah kaikasīm nāma nāmatah/ putri pradānakālo 'vam yauvanam te 'tivartate, tvatkṛte ca vayam sarve yantritā dharmabuddhayah/ tvam hi sarvagunopetā śrīh sapadmeva putrike, pratyākhyānāc ca bhītais tvam na varaih pratigrhyase/ kanyāpitrtvam duhkham hi sarvesām mānakānksinām, na jñāyate ca kah kanyām varayed iti putrike/ mātuh kulam pitrkulam yatra caiva pradīyate, kulatrayam sadā kanyā samsaye sthāpya tisthati/ sā tvam munivarasrestham prajāpatikulodbhavam, gaccha viśravasam putri paulastyam varaya svayam/īdṛśās te bhaviṣyanti putrāh putri na samśayah, tejasā bhāskarasamā yādṛśo 'yam dhaneśvarah/ etasminn antare rāma pulastyatanayo dyijah, agnihotram upātisthac caturtha iya pāyakah/ sā tu tām dārunām velām acintya pitrgauravāt, upasrtvāgratas tasva caranādhomukhī sthitā/ sa tu tām vīksva suśronīm pūrņacandranibhānanām, abravīt paramodāro dīpyamāna ivaujasā/ bhadre kasyāsi duhitā kuto vā tvam ihāgatā, kim kāryam kasya vā hetos tattvato brūhi śobhane/ evam uktā tu sā kanyā kṛtāñjalir athābravīt, ātmaprabhāvena mune jñātum arhasi me matam/ kim tu viddhi hi mām brahmañ śāsanāt pitur āgatām, kaikasī nāma nāmnāham śesam tvam jñātum arhasi/ sa tu gatvā munir dhyānam vākyam etad uvāca ha,vijñātam te mayā bhadre kāraṇam yan manogatam/dāruṇāyām tu velāyām yasmāt tvam mām upasthitā, śṛṇu tasmāt sutān bhadre yādṛśāñ janayiṣyasi/ dāruṇān dāruṇākārān dāruṇābhijanapriyān, prasavisyasi suśroni rākṣasān krūrakarmaṇah/ sā tu tadvacanam śrutvā praṇipatyābravīd vacaḥ, bhagavan nedṛśāḥ putrās tvatto 'rhā brahmayonitaḥ/ athābravīn munis tatra paścimo yas tavātmajaḥ, mama vamśānurūpaś ca dharmātmā ca bhavisyati/ evam uktā tu sā kanyā rāma kālena kena cit, janayām āsa bībhatsam raksorūpam sudārunam/ daśaśīrsam mahādamstram nīlāñjanacayopamam, tāmraustham vimśatibhujam mahāsyam dīptamūrdhajam/ jātamātre tatas tasmin sajvālakavalāh śivāh, kravyādāś cāpasavyāni mandalāni pracakrire/ vavarsa rudhiram devo meghās ca kharanisvanāh, prababhau na ca

khe sūryo maholkāś cāpatan bhuvi/ atha nāmākarot tasya pitāmahasamaḥ pitā, daśaśīrṣaḥ prasūto 'yam daśagrīvo bhaviṣyati/ tasya tv anantaram jātaḥ kumbhakarṇo mahābalaḥ, pramāṇād yasya vipulam pramāṇam neha vidyate/ tataḥ śūrpaṇakhā nāma samjajñe vikṛtānanā, vibhīṣaṇaś ca dharmātmā kaikasyāḥ paścimaḥ sutaḥ/ te tu tatra mahāraṇye vavṛdhuḥ sumahaujasaḥ, teṣām krūro daśagrīvo lokodvegakaro 'bhavat/ kumbhakarṇaḥ pramattas tu maharṣīn dharmasamśritān, trailokyam trāsayan duṣṭo bhakṣayan vicacāra ha/ vibhīṣaṇas tu dharmātmā nityam dharmapathe sthitaḥ, svādhyāyaniyatāhāra uvāsa niyatendriyaḥ/ atha vitteśvaro devas tatra kālena kena cit, āgacchat pitaram draṣṭum puṣpakeṇa mahaujasam/ tam dṛṣṭvā kaikasī tatra jvalantam iva tejasā, āsthāya rākṣasīm buddhim daśagrīvam uvāca ha/ putravaiśravaṇam paśya bhrātaram tejasā vṛtam, bhrātṛbhāve same cāpi paśyātmānam tvam īdṛśam/ daśagrīva tathā yatnam kuruṣvāmitavikrama, yathā bhavasi me putra śīghram vaiśvaraṇopamaḥ/ mātus tad vacanam śrutvā daśagrīvaḥ pratāpavān, amarṣam atulam lebhe pratijñām cākarot tadā/ satyam te pratijānāmi tulyo bhrātrādhiko 'pi vā, bhaviṣyāmy acirān mātaḥ samtāpam tyaja hṛdgatam/ tataḥ krodhena tenaiva daśagrīvaḥ sahānujaḥ, prāpsyāmi tapasā kāmam iti kṛtvādhyavasya ca, āgacchad ātmasiddhyartham gokarṇasyāśramam śubham/

In due course Rakshasa Sumali who had long ago settled in rasaatala had left for matya loka for a kind of a journey and while touring saw 'dhaneshvara' Kubera well settled in Lankapuri although he was in charge of Northern side as the loka palaka, but blessed by Brahma with a pushpaka vimana to reach whereever he wished to; Kubera was in fact visiting his father Vishrava, the son of Pulastya, as the latter was in rasatala itself. It got struck in Sumali's head that he had a marrigeable daughter and suggested that rakshasa Kubera was actually visiting his father by his pushpaka vimana. He approached his daughter, Kaikasi and made the proposal who felt shy nodded her head. Agastya Maha Muni then explained to Shri Rama that eventually, Vishrava was concluding his sayankala agni hotra, Kaikasi crossed and and falteringly faced Pulastyanandana brahmana Vishrava and stood still seeing Vishrava's feet and rubbed her foot fingers out of shyness. Vishrava had noticed this happening and asked her: 'Bhadre! Whose kanya are you! Why have you come here and for which purpose!' Then Sumali kanya Kaikasi replied in a bashful tone and with folded hands replied: 'Munivara! You by your own celestial vision would be able to become aware of my 'manobhava'; yet I am here at my father's behest and my name is Kaikasi and the rest should be clear my your 'divya drishti'. sa tu gatvā munir dhyānam vākyam etad uvāca ha, vijñātam te mayā bhadre kāraṇam yan manogatam/ dāruṇāyām tu velāyām yasmāt tvam mām upasthitā, śṛṇu tasmāt sutān bhadre yādrśāň janayisyasi/ dārunān dārunākārān dārunābhijana -priyān, prasavisyasi suśroni rāksasān krūrakarmanah/ As Devi Kaikasi said so, Vishrava Muni thought at length and replied: Bhadre! I have now fully understand what all that you have in mind. Surely you wish to secure 'santaana' from me at this 'sayamkaala daarunatva'. Any how, listen to me carefully. Your children would be of cruelty and of frightful physiques. Would you like to beget such progeny! sā tu tadvacanam śrutvā praņipatyābravīd vacaḥ, bhagavan nedṛśāḥ putrās tvatto 'rhā brahmayonitaḥ/ athābravīn munis tatra paścimo yas tavātmajah, mama vamśānurūpaś ca dharmātmā ca bhaviṣyati/As he declared likewise, Devi Kaikasi fell at he feet of Vishrava Muni, and cried hoarse saying: Maha Muni! You are a genuine Brahmayaadi Mahatma, please help me! I should certaily not wish to be the mother of such cruel and despicable children. As the raksha kanya Kaikasi was alarmed in this manner, as Purna Chandra to Devi Rohini, Vishrava Muni assured that the youngest son should undoubtedly be an 'anurupa dharmatma'!evam uktā tu sā kanyā rāma kālena kena cit, janayām āsa bībhatsam raksorūpam sudārunam/ daśaśīrsam mahādamstram nīlāñjanacayopamam, tāmraustham vimśatibhujam mahāsyam dīptamūrdhajam/ jātamātre tatas tasmin sajvālakavalāh sivāh, kravyādās cāpasavyāni maņḍalāni pracakrire/ vavarşa rudhiram devo meghāś ca kharanisvanāh, prababhau na ca khe sūryo maholkāś cāpatan bhuvi/ Maha Muni Agastya explained further to Shri Rama that not very far away, Devi Kaikasi gave birth to 'atyanta bhayaanaka- krura swabhava rakshasa' with 'dasha mastakaas- maha damshtrastaamroshtham-vimshati bhujam-vishaala mukham and deepta muurdhijam' or ten heads-frightening teethcopperish lips-twenty hands, huge face and flashing head hairs. As he was born, flames like owls, nara maamsa bhakshi kites, and several other screeching birds were hovering all around the newly born boy in circles. Indra initiated rains of blood, clouds made scary alarms, the blazes of Surya were suddenly

disappeared, there were frequent falls of meteors on earth, successive quakes of earth, sand storms, and near sky high tides of the oceans nearby. atha nāmākarot tasva pitāmahasamah pitā, daśaśīrsah prasūto 'yam daśagrīvo bhavişyati/ tasya tv anantaram jātah kumbhakarno mahābalah, pramāṇād yasya vipulam pramāṇam neha vidyate/ tataḥ śūrpaṇakhā nāma samjajñe vikṛtānanā, vibhīṣaṇaś ca dharmātmā kaikasyāh paścimah sutah/Then Brahma tejasyi Vishayamuni the father of the newly born son named him as 'Dashagreeva' with ten heads. Subsequently was born Maha bali Kumbhakarna whose physique was giantlike as was never born on earth everbefore or thereafter. Further was born 'Vikaraala mukhivikritaakaari Shurpanakha. The next birth was of Vibhishana, the dharmatma, who was the last child of Devi Kaikasi; when Vibhishana was born there were sugandha pushpa varshas from the high skies. kumbhakarnah pramattas tu maharsīn dharmasamśritān, trailokyam trāsayan dusto bhaksayan vicacāra ha/ vibhīsanas tu dharmātmā nityam dharmapathe sthitah, svādhyāyaniyatāhāra uvāsa niyatendriyah/ Kumbhakrana and Dashagrivas were sich as would shakeup the trilokas ever startling and packing 'maharshi samudaayaas' with their might and fright ever rejocing with their carefree behavior and actions. But Vibhishana even from his childhood was of dharmika buddhi. atha vitteśvaro devas tatra kālena kena cit, āgacchat pitaram drastum puspakena mahaujasam/tam drstvā kaikasī tatra įvalantam iva tejasā, āsthāya rākṣasīm buddhim daśagrīvam uvāca ha/putravaiśravaṇam paśya bhrātaram tejasā vṛtam, bhrātṛbhāve same cāpi paśyātmānam tvam īdṛśam/ As time passed, Vaishravana mounted the pushpaka vimana and asked about Devi Kaikasi about the welfare of herself and of the progeny too. Then as accompanied by Vishravana Kubera, reached Ravana Kumara as she remarked: dear son! Look at your brother. You too should be of similar name and fame. daśagrīva tathā yatnam kuruṣvāmitavikrama, yathā bhavasi me putra śīghram vaiśvaraņopamah/ mātus tad vacanam śrutvā daśagrīvah pratāpavān, amarşam atulam lebhe pratijñām cākarot tadā/ satyam te pratijānāmi tulyo bhrātrādhiko 'pi vā, bhavişyāmy acirān mātaḥ samtāpam tyaja hṛdgatam/Then having heard what his mother stated, Ravana made an assertion:' Mother! never worry for me; may I declare my pratigina that I should far excel my cousin Vaishravana in all respects. tatah krodhena tenaiva dasagrīvah sahānujah, prāpsyāmi tapasā kāmam iti krtvādhyavasya ca, āgacchad ātmasiddhyartham gokarnasyāśramam śubham/ As having decided thus, Ravana desired to perform 'ghora tapasya' and reached Gokarana Kshetraashrama along with his brothers.

Sarga Ten

Ravana and his brothers performed tapasya for ten thousand years as Brahma granted Ravana of invincibility except from human beings, Vibhishana to fortify dharmatva, but Kumbhakarna for long sleep due to Vaakdevis's intervention.

Athābravīd dvijam rāmaḥ katham te bhrātaro vane, kīdrśam tu tadā brahmams tapaś cerur mahāvratāḥ/ agastyas tv abravīt tatra rāmam prayata mānasam, tāms tān dharmavidhīms tatra bhrātaras te samāviśan/ kumbhakarnas tadā vatto nitvam dharmaparāvanah, tatāpa graismike kāle pañcasv agnisv avasthitaḥ/ varṣe meghodakaklinno vīrāsanam asevata, nityam ca śaiśire kāle jalamadhyapratiśrayaḥ/ evam varşasahasrāni daśa tasyāticakramuḥ, dharme prayatamānasya satpathe niṣṭhitasya ca/ vibhīṣaṇas tu dharmātmā nityam dharmaparah śucih, pañcavarsasahasrāni pādenaikena tasthivān/ samāpte niyame tasya nanṛtuś cāpsaroganāh, papāta puspavarsam ca ksubhitāś cāpi devatāh/ pañcavarsasahasrāni sūryam caivānvavartata, tasthau cordhvaśiro bāhuh svādhyāyadhṛtamānasah/ evam vibhīsanasyāpi gatāni niyatātmanaḥ, daśavarṣasahasrāni svargasthasyeva nandane/ daśavarṣasahasram tu nirāhāro daśānanaḥ, pūrne varṣasahasre tu śiraś cāgnau juhāva saḥ/ evam varṣasahasrāṇi nava tasyāticakramuḥ, śirāmsi nava cāpy asya praviṣṭāni hutāśanam/ atha varṣasahasre tu daśame daśamam śirah, chettukāmah sa dharmātmā prāptas cātra pitāmahah/ pitāmahas tu suprītah sārdham devair upasthitah, vatsa vatsa daśagrīva prīto 'smīty abhyabhāsata/ śīghram varaya dharmajña varo yas te 'bhikānksitah, kim te kāmam karomy adya na vṛthā te pariśramah/ tato 'bravīd daśagrīvah prahṛstenāntarātmanā, pranamya śirasā devam harşagadgadayā girā/ bhagavan prāṇinām nityam nānyatra maraṇād bhayam, nāsti mrtyusamah satrur amaratyam ato yrne/ suparnanāgayaksānām daityadānayaraksasām, ayadhyah syām

prajādhyaksa devatānām ca śāśvatam/ na hi cintā mamānyesu prānisv amarapūjita, trnabhūtā hi me sarve prānino mānusādayah/ evam uktas tu dharmātmā daśagrīvena raksasā, uvāca vacanam rāma saha devaiḥ pitāmahah/ bhaviṣyaty evam evaitat tava rākṣasapumgava, śṛṇu cāpi vaco bhūyah prītasyeha śubham mama/ hutāni yāni śīrṣāṇi pūrvam agnau tvayānagha, punas tāni bhaviṣyanti tathaiva tava rāksasa/ evam pitāmahoktasva daśagrīvasva raksasah, agnau hutāni śīrsāni vāni tānv utthitāni vai/ evam uktvvā tu tam rāma dasagrīvam prajāpatih, vibhīsaņam athovāca vākyam lokapitāmahah/ vibhīsaņa tvayā vatsa dharmasamhitabuddhinā, paritusto 'smi dharmajña varam varaya suvrata/ vibhīṣaṇas tu dharmātmā vacanam prāha sāñjalih, vrtah sarvagunair nityam candramā iva raśmibhih bhagavan krtakrtyo 'ham yan me lokaguruh svayam, prīto yadi tvam dātavyam varam me śrnu suvrata/ yā yā me jāyate buddhir yesu yesv āśramesv iha, sā sā bhavatu dharmisthā tam tam dharmam ca pālaye/ esa me paramodāra varah paramako matah, na hi dharmābhiraktānām loke kim cana durlabham/ atha prajāpatih prīto vibhīsanam uvāca ha, dharmisthas tvam vathā vatsa tathā caitad bhavisyati/ vasmād rākṣasayonau te jātasyāmitrakarṣaṇa, nādharme jāyate buddhir amaratvam dadāmi te/ kumbhakarnāya tu varam prayacchantam arimdama, prajāpatim surāh sarve vākyam prāñjalayo 'bruvan/ na tāvat kumbhakarnāya pradātavyo varas tvayā, jānīṣe hi yathā lokāms trāsayaty eṣa durmatiḥ/ nandane 'psarasaḥ sapta mahendrānucarā daśa, anena bhakṣitā brahman ṛṣayo mānuṣās tathā/ varavyājena moho 'smai dīyatām amitaprabha, lokānām svasti caiva syād bhaved asya ca samnatiḥ/ evam uktaḥ surair brahmācintayat padmasambhavah, cintitā copatasthe 'sya pārśvam devī sarasvatī, prāñjalih sā tu parśvasthā prāha vākyam sarasvatī, iyam asmy āgatā devakim kāryam karavāny aham/ prajāpatis tu tām prāptām prāha vākyam sarasvatīm, vāṇi tvam rākṣasendrasya bhava yā devatepsitā/ tathety uktvā pravistā sā prajāpatir athābravīt, kumbhakarna mahābāho varam varava vo matah/ kumbhakarnas tu tad vākyam śrutvā vacanam abravīt, svaptum varṣāṇy anekāni devadeva mamepsitam/ evam astv iti tam coktyā saha devaih pitāmahah, devī sarasyatī caiya muktyā tam prayayau diyam/ kumbhakarnas tu dustātmā cintayām āsa duhkhitah, kīrdrśam kim nv idam vākyam mamādya vadanāc cyutam/ evam labdhavarāh sarve bhrātaro dīptatejasah, ślesmātakavanam gatvā tatra te nyavasan sukham/

As Agastya Maha Muni informed Shri Rama that all the three Ravana brothers reached Gokarna for severe tapasya, the latter asked the Muni as to what kind of tapasya that the three had performed. Then the reply was that they had followed their own methodology of the tapasya. Kumbhakarna had controlled his Panchendriayas [Pancha Jnanendriyas viz. Ghrana-Rasa- Chakshu-Shrotra-Twak or smell, taste, see, hear and touch b) Pancha Karmendriyas viz. nose-tongue- eyes- ears- skin respectively and c) Pancha Tanmatras: Light, sound, taste, smell and consciousness] and Pancha Jnanendriyas [viz. Ghrana-Rasa-Chakshu-Shrotra-Twak or smell, taste, see, hear and touch b) Pancha Karmendriyas viz. nose-tongueeyes- ears- skin respecively and c) Pancha Tanmatras: Light, sound, taste, smell and consciousness] and did Panchagini seva [Garhapatya-Aavahaniya-Dakshinaagni-Saabya-Avaastya] . Thus Kumbhakarna performed rigorous tapaya for ten thousand years irrespective of seasons of summer, winter or rains. Now Vibhishana th Dharmatma performed pure 'aachaara-vichaara palana yukta tapasya' with both the hands and head raised to the skies for five thousand years, as Apsaraas danced followed by 'swaadhyaana' of veda-shastra pathana for an additional five more years duly excuting Suryaaraadhana. daśavarsasahasram tu nirāhāro daśānanaḥ, pūrņe varṣasahasre tu śiraś cāgnau juhāva saḥ/ evam varṣasahasrāṇi nava tasyāticakramuh, śirāmsi nava cāpy asya pravistāni hutāśanam/ atha varsasahasre tu daśame daśamam śirah, chettukāmah sa dharmātmā prāptaś cātra pitāmahah/ pitāmahas tu suprītah sārdham devair upasthitah, vatsa vatsa daśagrīva prīto 'smīty abhyabhāsata/Dashamukha Ravana had performed continuous 'upavaasa' for ten thousand years. At the end of each year, he severed one of his heads and performed naivedya to the homaagni. As the tenth head was about to be slicedoff, Brahma Deva appeared and appreciated his intense capacity of endurance. He stated that of Ravana were to bless him with a boon, he might do so as his tapasya ought not to be either desired for or deserved of. tato 'bravīd daśagrīvah prahṛstenāntarātmanā, pranamya śirasā devam harsagadgadayā girā/ bhagavan prāninām nityam nānyatra maranād bhayam, nāsti mṛtyusamah śatrur amaratvam ato vṛne/ suparnanāgayaksānām daityadānavarakṣasām, avadhyaḥ syām prajādhyakṣa devatānām ca śāśvatam/<u>na hi cintā mamānyeṣu</u> prānisv amarapūjita, trnabhūtā hi me sarve prānino mānusādavah/As Brahma Deva stated thus,

Dashagriva prostrated to Brahma Deva and stated in almost hush hushed tone said: Bhagavan! None of the Pranis in Srishti if free from the fear of death and one were to request for that type of amara jeevata! Brahma replied that barring amaratva, Ravana could request of any other boon. Ravana then requested that he should be free from death by Garuda-Naaga-Yaksha-Daitya-Daanava-Rakshasa -Devatas. Bhagavan !I am least concerned of death from all other pranis like human beings. evam uktas tu dharmātmā daśagrīveṇa rakṣasā, uvāca vacanam rāma saha devaiḥ pitāmahaḥ/ bhaviṣyaty evam evaitat tava rākṣasapumgava, śṛṇu cāpi vaco bhūyaḥ prītasyeha śubham mama/ hutāni yāni śīrṣāṇi pūrvam agnau tyayānagha, punas tāni bhavisyanti tathaiya taya rāksasa/As Rayana asked for the boons as requested Brahma Deva, the latter granted as Ravana asked for. He further agreed to restore the nine headd which Ravana sacrificed at each of the heads at each of the thousand years to Agni jvaalaas at the formal homa kaaryaas. There after Brahma appeared before Vibhishana and asked for the boons that he would like to wish for, as Vibhishana prostrated and stated: bhagavan krtakrtyo 'ham yan me lokaguruh svayam, prīto yadi tvam dātavyam varam me śrnu suvrata/ yā yā me jāyate buddhir yeşu yeşv āśrameşv iha, sā sā bhavatu dharmiṣṭhā tam tam dharmam ca pālaye/ eṣa me paramodāra varaḥ paramako mataḥ, na hi dharmābhiraktānām loke kim cana durlabham/Bhagavan! As you the loka guru himself were pleased with my tapasya, I feel elated and overwhelmed! may you grant me the boon to sustian my dharma buddhi even against the worst possible eventualities and further bless me with the brashmastra inaana too. Deva Deva! even if I cling to good-bad- worse and the worst of companionship conditions, bless me to cling to the tenets of 'dharma nyaayas' for ever as 'nirantara dharmaanurakti' is the rearest virtue to be ever sustained.' atha prajāpatih prīto vibhīṣaṇam uvāca ha, dharmiṣṭhas tvam yathā vatsa tathā caitad bhavişyati/yasmād rākṣasayonau te jātasyāmitrakarṣaṇa, nādharme jāyate buddhir amaratvam dadāmi te/Brahma replied: 'Dear son! What all that you wish intensely with your ever sustained 'dharmatya' be fortified. Even born as a rakshasa, it is amazing that you support and adhere gripped up to 'dharma and nyaaya'; quite apart from granting the boons that you sought, I am als pleased to award you with 'amaratva'!' Then Deva samuhas at that very juncture appeared and appealed to Brahma Deva not to make any 'varadaana' to Kumbhakarna as Brahama granted to Ravanasura already. They explained to Brahma that Kumbhakarna in the past had ready harassed and eaten up too ten close attendants of Indra, sven Apsaras of Nandana vana of swarga and countless Rishis an manushyas too. If only Brahma were to give away any boons to the maha rakshasa now, then all th pranis in srishti would be cruelly eaten off with no compunction as the lives of the triloka jeevas would be at stake. As Devas had made a sincere appeal to Brahma, the srishti karta asked for Devi Saraswari who appeared was instructed Vak Devi to be everpresent on the tongue of Rakshasa Kumbhakarna and follow the advices of all the Devas accordingly'. Then Brahma Deva granted his darshan to Kumbhakarna who performed thousand years of the rakshsa's tapasya. kumbhakarnas tu tad vākyam śrutvā vacanam abravīt, svaptum varsāny anekāni devadeva mamepsitam/ evam astv iti tam coktvā saha devaih pitāmahah, devī sarasvatī caiva muktvā tam prayayau divam/ kumbhakarņas tu dustātmā cintayām āsa duḥkhitaḥ, kīrdrśam kim nv idam vākyam mamādya vadanāc cyutam/ evam labdhavarāh sarve bhrātaro dīptatejasah, ślesmātakavanam gatvā tatra te nyavasan sukham/ Kumbhakarna then requested Brahma Deva to rest and sleep for many many years and Brahma having granted the wish disappeared. Subsequently, Devi Sarasyati left Kumbhakarna's tongue and disappeared, but the rakshasa realised his mistake and felt that devaas must have deliberately influenced Brahma Deva to make him utter such a misleading request!

Sarga Eleven

Kubera as per his father's advice leaves Lankapuri for Kailasa and Ravana's Rajya Pattabhisheka

Sumālī varalabdhāms tu jñātvā tān vai niśācarān, udatiṣṭhad bhayam tyaktvā sānugaḥ sa rasātalātmārīcaś ca prahastaś ca virūpākṣo mahodaraḥ, udatiṣṭhan susamrabdhāḥ sacivās tasya rakṣasaḥ/ sumālī caiva taiḥ sarvair vrto rākṣasapumgavaiḥ, abhigamya daśagrīvam pariṣvajyedam abravīt/ diṣṭyā te putrasamprāptaś cintito 'yam manorathaḥ, yas tvam tribhuvaṇaśreṣṭhāl labdhavān varam īdrśam/ vatkrte ca vavam laṅkām tyaktvā vātā rasātalam, tad gatam no mahābāho mahad

visnukrtam bhayam/ asakrt tena bhagnā hi parityajya svam ālayam, vidrutāh sahitāh sarve pravistāh sma rasātalam/ asmadīyā ca laṅkeyam nagarī rāksasositā, niveśitā tava bhrātrā dhanādhyaksena dhīmatā/ yadi nāmātra śakyam syāt sāmnā dānena vānagha, tarasā vā mahābāho pratyānetum kṛtam bhavet/ tvam ca lankeśvaras tāta bhaviṣyasi na samśayaḥ, sarveṣām naḥ prabhuś caiva bhaviṣyasi mahābala/ athābrayīd daśagrīvo mātāmaham upasthitam, vitteśo gurur asmākam nārhasy evam prabhāsitum/ uktavantam tathā vākyam daśagrīvam niśācaraḥ, prahastaḥ praśritam vākyam idam āha sakāraṇam/ daśagrīva mahābāho nārhas tvam vaktum īdṛśam, saubhrātram nāsti śūrāṇām śṛṇu cedam vaco mama/ aditiś ca ditiś caiva bhaginyau sahite kila, bhārye paramarūpinyau kaśyapasya prajāpateh/ aditir janayām āsa devāms tribhuvane -śvarān, ditis tv ajanayad daityān kaśyapasyātmasambhavān/ daityānām kila dharmajña pureyam savanārnavā, saparvatā mahī vīra te 'bhavan prabhavisnavah/ nihatya tāms tu samare visnunā prabhavisnunā, devānām vasam ānītam trailokyam idam avyayam/ naitad eko bhavān eva karisyati viparyayam, surair ācaritam pūrvam kurusvaitad vaco mama/ evam ukto daśagrīvah prahastena durātmanā, cintayitvā muhūrtam vai bādham ity eva so 'bravīt/ sa tu tenaiva harşena tasminn ahani vīryavān, vanam gato daśagrīvah saha taih kṣaṇadācaraih/ trikūṭasthah sa tu tadā daśagrīvo niśācarah, presayām āsa dautyena prahastam vākyakovidam/ prahasta śīghram gatyā tyam brūhi nairṛtapumgavam, vacanān mama vitteśam sāmapūrvam idam vacaḥ/ iyam lankā purī rājan rākṣasānām mahātmanām, tvayā niveśitā saumya naitad yuktam tavānagha/ tad bhavān yadi sāmnaitām dadyād atulavikrama, krtā bhaven mama prītir dharmas caivānupālitah/ ity uktah sa tadā gatvā prahasto vākyakovidah, daśagrīvavacah sarvam vitteśāya nyavedayat/ prahastād api samśrutya devo vaiśravano vacaḥ, pratyuvāca prahastam tam vākyam vākyaviśāradaḥ/ brūhi gaccha daśagrīvam purī rājyam ca yan mama, tavāpy etan mahābāho bhuṅksvaitad dhatakantakam/ sarvam kartāsmi bhadram te rāksaseśa vaco 'cirāt, kiṁ tu tāvat pratīkṣasva pitur yāvan nivedaye/ evam uktvā dhanādhyakṣo jagāma pitur antikam, abhivādya gurum prāha rāvanasya yadīpsitam/ esa tāta daśagrīvo dūtam presitavān mama, dīyatām nagarī lankā pūrvam raksoganositā, mayātra yad anustheyam tan mamācaksva suvrata/ brahmarsis tv evam ukto 'sau viśravā munipumgavah,uvāca dhanadam vākyam śrnu putra vaco mama/ daśagrīvo mahābāhur uktavān mama samnidhau, mayā nirbhartsitaś cāsīd bahudhoktah sudurmatih/ sa krodhena mayā cokto dhvamsasveti punah punah, śreyo'bhiyuktam dharmyam ca śrnu putra vaco mama/ varapradānasammūdho mānyāmānyam sudurmatih, na vetti mama śāpāc ca prakrtim dārunām gatah/ tasmād gaccha mahābāho kailāsam dharanīdharam, niveśava nivāsārtham tvaja lankām sahānugah/ tatra mandākinī ramyā nadīnām pravarā nadī, kāñcanaiḥ sūryasamkāśaiḥ pankajaiḥ samvṛtodakā/ na hi ksamam tvayā tena vairam dhanadaraksasā, jānīse hi yathānena labdhah paramako varah/ evam ukto grhītvā tu tad vacah pitrgauravāt, sadāra paurah sāmātyah savāhanadhano gatah/ prahastas tu daśagrīvam gatvā sarvam nyavedayat, śūnyā sā nagarī lankā trimśadyojanam āyatā, praviśya tām sahāsmābhih svadharmam tatra pālaya/ evam uktah prahastena rāvano rāksasas tadā, viveša nagarīm lankām sabhrātā sabalānugah/ sa cābhiṣiktaḥ kṣaṇadācarais tadā; niveśayām āsa purīm daśānanaḥ, nikāmapūrnā ca babhūva sā purī; niśācarair nīlabalāhakopamaih/ dhaneśvaras tv atha pitŗvākyagauravān; nyaveśayac chaśivimale girau purīm, svalamkṛtair bhavanavarair vibhūṣitām; puramdarasveva tadāmarāvatīm/

As Ravana brothers had returmed from their ten thousand years long tapasya after attaining Brahma darshana and the respective boons, Sumali Rakshasa desired to leave fo rasaatala and along with him Maaricha-Prahasta-Virupaksha and Mahodaras being Sumali's mantris. They had so decided to leave back to Rasatala since the possibility of the pressure of Vishnu's attack had since ceased too. While leaving for Rasaatala, Sumali embraced Ravana and brothers and explained: <code>asmadīyā ca laṅkeyaṁ nagarī rākṣasoṣitā, niveśitā tava bhrātrā dhanādhyakṣeṇa dhīmatā/ yadi nāmātra śakyaṁ syāt sāmnā dānena vānagha, tarasā vā mahābāho pratyānetuṁ kṛtaṁ bhavet/ tvaṁ ca laṅkeśvaras tāta bhaviṣyasi na saṁśayaḥ, sarveṣāṁ naḥ prabhuś caiva bhaviṣyasi mahābala/ athābravīd daśagrīvo mātāmaham upasthitam, vitteśo gurur asmākaṁ nārhasy evaṁ prabhāṣitum/ Originally this Lankapuri was actually ours only where your cousin brother Kubera had been staying; we could no doubt use the saama-daana-balaprayogaas but did not wish to use them on Kubera. But now, Ravana! do become the king here and also resuscitate Rasatala as we both could thus enjoy our partnership for ever'. Then Ravana had politely</code>

replied to his maternal grand father Sumali: 'Dhanaadhyaksa Kubera is after all my elder brother and you should not advise me in this manner.' As Ravana said likewise, Sumali no doubt kept silent for a while, but Rakshasa Prahasta of Sumali's mantri mandali intervened to say: daśagrīva mahābāho nārhas tvam vaktum īdṛśam, saubhrātram nāsti śūrāṇām śṛṇu cedam vaco mama/ aditiś ca ditiś caiva bhaginyau sahite kila, bhārye paramarūpinyau kaśyapasya prajāpateh/ aditir janayām āsa devāms tribhuvaņe śvarān, ditis tv ajanayad daityān kaśyapasyātmasambhavān/ Maha bahu Dashagriva! We have all to respect what your maternal grand father had just explained and should indeed be respected; it might not be always befitting for Veera dheera personalities like you! Let me explain a little more about your own ancestry and lineage: 'Aditi and Diti were both co wives of Pajapati Kashyapa Muni. Aditi gave birth to Devaas the present tribhuvana swaamis while Devi Diti gave birth to Daityas. daityānām kila dharmajña pureyam savanārnavā, saparvatā mahī vīra te 'bhavan prabhavisnavah/ nihatya tāms tu samare visnunā prabhavisnunā, devānām vaśam ānītam trailokyam idam avyayam/ naitad eko bhavān eva karisyati viparyayam, surair ācaritam pūrvam kurusvaitad vaco mama/ Veera Ravana! In the past, all the mountains, aranyas, samudras and in fact the entire earth was under the exclusive control of Daityas. But Vishnu had in a series of battles devastated daity as and bestowed the same to deva ganaas. In that manner the same situation prevails now too between devaas and asuraas; therefore you may like to either follow the advice of your maternal grand father or not is your own choice.

[Vishleshana on the lineage of Kashyapa Vamsha from Brahma Purana

Kashyapa married thirteen of Daksha's daughters. Their names were Aditi, Diti, Danu, Arishta, Surasa, Khasa, Surabhi, Vinata. Tamra, Krodhavasha, Ila, Kadru and Muni. Aditi's sons were the twelve gods known as the adityas. Their names were Vishnu, Shakra. Aryama, Dhata, Vidhata, Tvashta, Pusha, Vivasvana, Savita, MitraVaruna, Amsha and Bhaga.Diti's sons were the daityas (demons). They were named Hiranyaksha and Hiranyakashipu, and amongst their descendants were several other powerful daityas liked Bali and Banasura. Diti also had a daughter named Simhika who was married to a danava named Viprachitti. Their offspring's were terrible demons like Vatapi, Namuchi, Ilvala, Maricha and the Nivatakavachas. The hundred sons of Danu came to be known as danavas. The danavas were thus cousins to the daityas and also to the adityas. In the danava line were born demons like the Poulamas and Kalakeyas. Arishta's sons were the Gandharvas (singers of heaven). Surasa gave birth to sarpas, the snakes. Khasa's children were the Yakshas (demi-gods who were the companions of Kubera, the god of Wealth) and the Rakshasas. Surabhi's descendants were cows and buffaloes. Vinata had two sons named Aruna and Garuda. Garuda became the king of the birds. Tamra has six daughters. From these daughters were born owls, eagles, vultures, crows, water-fowl, horses, camels and donkeys. Krodhavasha had fourteen thousand children known as nagas (snakes). Ila gave birth to trees, creepers, shrubs and bushes. Kadru's sons were also known as nagas or snakes. Among the more important of Kadru's sons were Ananta, Vasuki, Takshaka and Nahusha. Muni gave birth to the Apsaras (dancers of heaven). Diti's children (daityas) and Aditi's children (Adityas) continually fought amongst themselves. On one particular occasion, Devas succeeded in killing many of the demons. Thirsting for revenge, Diti began to pray to her husband, Kashyapa that she be given birth to a son who would kill Indra, the king of the Devas.Kashyapa found it difficult to refuse his wife outright but gave a condition that she would have to bear the son in your womb for a hundred years. Diti resolved to do so but Indra came to know about Diti's resolve and was waiting for an opportunity to save himself. There was an occasion when, tired after her prayers. Diti went to sleep without first washing her feet. This was an unclean act and it gave Indra the required opportunity. He adopted a miniscule form and entered Diti's womb. With his weapon vajra, he sliced up the baby inside the womb into seven parts. The baby naturally began to cry at the pain. Indra kept on saying, 'ma ruda' that is, 'don't cry.' But the baby, or rather its seven parts, would not listen. Indra thereupon sliced up each of the seven parts into seven more sections, so that there were forty-nine sections in all. When these forty-nine sections were born, they came to be known as the Maruts, from the words - ma ruda- that Indra had addressed them. Since Diti had not been able to adhere to the conditions

her husband had set, the Maruts did not kill Indra. They instead became Indra's followers or companions, and were treated as Devas.]

Further stanzas as continued:

evam ukto daśagrīvaḥ prahastena durātmanā, cintayitvā muhūrtam vai bāḍham ity eva so 'bravīt/ sa tu tenaiva harşena tasminn ahani vīryavān, vanam gato daśagrīvaḥ saha taiḥ kṣaṇadācaraiḥ/ trikūṭasthaḥ sa tu tadā daśagrīvo niśācaraḥ, preṣayām āsa dautyena prahastaṁ vākyakovidam/ On hearing what all Prahasta explained, Rayana was glad to hear his manner of convincing and felt that he should act accordingly. Then Ravana and his trustworthy nishaacharaas entered the nearby surrounding gardens and further to trikuta parvata and asked Prahasta to approach Kubera. prahasta śīghram gatvā tvam brūhi nairṛtapumgavam, vacanān mama vitteśam sāmapūrvam idam vacah/ iyam lankā purī rājan rāksasānām mahātmanām, tvayā niveśitā saumya naitad yuktam tavānagha/ tad bhavān yadi sāmnaitām dadyād atulavikrama, krtā bhaven mama prītir dharmas caivānupālitah/ He said: 'Prahasta! Now you may approach Kubera in your characteristic manner and explain to him of the proposal coolly. You may explain that rakshasas had all along been residing here and it may not proper to be here any further. Dheneshwara, as such you may like to leave Lankapuri now as you are fully aware of the rudiments of 'dharma and nyaaya'. Your brother Dashagriva had asked me therefore to vacate this Lankapuri as soon as possible.' Then Kubera replied: 'Nishachara! This Lankapuri was totally free as there were no rakshasas were living here as they had long ago left for Rasatala and hence as per my father's directive I had let in families versatile with 'daana-maanaadi guna sampanna prajas'. You are now welcome to utilise you too since my 'rajya and dhana vastuus' have not been partitioned after all!' So saying Kubera had left to meet his father Vishrava Muni. esa tāta daśagrīvo dūtam presitavān mama, dīvatām nagarī lankā pūrvam raksoganositā, mayātra yad anustheyam tan mamācaksva suvrata/ brahmarsis tv evam ukto 'sau viśravā munipumgavah,uvāca dhanadam vākyam śrnu putra vaco mama/ daśagrīvo mahābāhur uktavān mama samnidhau, mayā nirbhartsitaś cāsīd bahudhoktah sudurmatih/He explained that Dashagriva had sent his messenger and asserted that in the past Lankapuri had been under rakshasaas and as such be returned back to them. Now you should kindly advise me as to what to do. Then Brahmarshi stood up with folded hands and said:' listen to me son carefully. Ravana had made the demand even as he had hardly entered here. He made this kind of demand to me also, and he was apparently enraged he shouted at me too in a manner that then we would all be ruined. Therefore, son! Listen to me in earnestness. Rayana's durbuddhi is ever risky as his psyche is cruel and vengeful. Hence it would be advisable to leave Lanka and shift to Kailaasa parvata with your followers. tatra mandākinī ramyā nadīnām pravarā nadī, kāñcanaih sūryasamkāśaih pankajaih samvṛtodakā/ na hi ksamam tvayā tena vairam dhanadarakṣasā, jānīṣe hi yathānena labdhaḥ paramako varaḥ/ evam ukto gṛhītvā tu tad vacaḥ pitṛgauravāt, sadāra paurah sāmātyah savāhanadhano gatah/evam ukto gṛhītvā tu tad vacah pitṛgauravāt, sadāra pauraḥ sāmātyaḥ savāhanadhano gataḥ/ There the most sancrosant of the rivers named Mandakini would be everflourishing with 'vriksha pushpa sugandhas'. Vishrava Muni further convinced Kubera that on the Kailasa Parvata, deva, gandharva, apsara, naaga, kinnara like celestial beings would be fond of touring the parvata and it should be better not to conflict with these rakshasaas, especially keeping in view the Brahma's varaprapti now.' As the Muni advised, Kubera shifted off to Kailaasa Parvata with stree- putra-mantri-vahanas too for good. Then prahastas tu daśagrīvam gatvā sarvam nyavedayat, śūnyā sā nagarī lankā trimsadyojanam āyatā, pravisya tām sahāsmābhih svadharmam tatra pālaya/ evam uktah prahastena rāvaņo rākṣasas tadā, viveśa nagarīm lankām sabhrātā sabalānugah/ Prahasta was delighted that Kubera had already left with family and followers and reached Ravana of the news with happiness, and that he might take over the sovereignty of Lanka samrajya. Then Dashagriva along with his family members, followers, and rakshasa sena entered the Lankapuri.sa cābhisiktah ksanadācarais tadā; nivešayām āsa purīm daśānanah, nikāmapūrnā ca babhūva sā purī; niśācarair nīlabalāhakopamaih/ dhaneśvaras tv atha pitrvākyagauravān; nyaveśayac chaśivimale girau purīm, svalamkṛtair bhavanavarair vibhūṣitām; puramdarasyeva tadāmarāvatīm/

Then the nishaacharaas had duly celebrated Ravana's rajyabhisheka and in no time rakshasas from all over got gradually yet most contentedly settled at Lanka samrajya. Meanwhile, as per his respeted father's instructions, Kubera settled down at the Kailasa prarvata atop and created Alkapuri on the lined of Indra's Amaravati.

Sarga Twelve

Ravana performed the weddings of sister Shurpanakha with Danava Maya's son Mayaavi, Maya's daughter Mandodari, Vajrajjvala Danava's daughter with Kumbhakarna and Shailusha gandharva's daughter Sarama with Vibhishana

Rākṣasendro 'bhiṣiktas tu bhrātṛbhyām sahitas tadā, tataḥ pradānam rākṣasyā bhaginyāḥ samacintayat/ dadau tām kālakeyāya dānavendrāya rākṣasīm, svasām śūrpaṇakhām nāma vidyujjihvāya nāmatah/ atha dattvā svasāram sa mṛgayām paryatan nṛpaḥ tatrāpasyat tato rāma mayam nāma diteḥ sutam/ kanyāsahāyam tam drstvā daśagrīvo niśācarah, aprechat ko bhayan eko nirmanusya mrge yane/ mayas ty athābravīd rāma prechantam tam niśācaram, śrūyatām sarvam ākhyāsye yathāvrttam idam mama/ hemā nāmāpsarās tāta śrutapūrvā yadi tvayā, daivatair mama sā dattā paulomīva śatakratoh/ tasyām saktamanās tāta pañcavarsaśatāny aham, sā ca daivata kāryena gatā varsam caturdaśam/ tasyāh kṛte ca hemāyāh sarvam hemapuram mayā, vajravaidūryacitram ca māyayā nirmitam tadā/ tatrāham aratim vindams tayā hīnah suduhkhitah, tasmāt purād duhitaram grhītvā vanam āgatah iyam mamātmajā rājams tasyāḥ kukṣau vivardhitā, bhartāram anayā sārdham asyāḥ prāpto 'smi mārgitum/ kanyāpitrtvam duḥkham hi narāṇām mānakānkṣiṇām, kanyā hi dve kule nityam samsaye sthāpya tiṣṭhati/ dvau sutau tu mama tv asyām bhāryāyām sambabhūvatuh, māyāvī prathamas tāta dundubhis tadanantaram/ etat te sarvam ākhyātam yāthātathyena prechatah, tvām idānīm katham tāta jānīyām ko bhavān iti/ evam ukto rāksasendro vinītam idam abravīt, aham paulastya tanayo daśagrīvas ca nāmatah/brahmarses tam sutam jñātvā mayo harsam upāgatah, dātum duhitaram tasya rocayām āsa tatra vai/prahasan prāha daityendro rākṣasendram idam vacaḥ, iyam mamātmajā rājan hemayāpsarasā dhṛtā, kanyā mandodarī nāma patnyartham pratigrhyatām/ bādham itv eva tam rāma daśagrīvo 'bhyabhāsata, prajvālva tatra caivāgnim akarot pānisamgraham/ na hi tasva mayo rāma sāpābhijnas tapodhanāt, viditvā tena sā dattā tasya paitāmaham kulam/ amoghām tasya śaktim ca pradadau paramādbhutām, pareṇa tapasā labdhām jaghnivāmil laksmanam yayā/ evam sa krtadāro vai lankāyām īśvarah prabhuh, gatvā tu nagaram bhārye bhrātrbhyām samudāvahat/ vairocanasya dauhitrīm vajrajvāleti nāmatah, tām bhāryām kumbhakarnasya rāvanah samudāvahat/ gandharvarājasya sutām sailūsasya mahātmana, saramā nāma dharmajño lebhe bhāryām vibhīsanah/ tīre tu sarasah sā vai samjajñe mānasasya ca, mānasam ca saras tāta vavṛdhe jaladāgame/mātrā tu tasyāḥ kanyāyāḥ snehanākranditam vacaḥ, saro mā vardhatety uktam tataḥ sā saramābhavam/ evam te kṛtadārā vai remire tatra rākṣasāh, svām svām bhāryām upādāya gandharvā iva nandane/ tato mandodarī putram meghanādam asūyata, sa eşa indrajin nāma yuşmābhir abhidhīyate/ jātamātrena hi purā tena rāksasasūnunā, rudatā sumahān mukto nādo jaladharopamah/ jadīkrtāvām lankāyām tena nādena tasya vai, pitā tasyākaron nāma meghanāda iti svavam/ so 'vardhata tadā rāma rāvaṇāntaḥpure śubhe, rakṣyamāṇo varastrībhiś channaḥ kāṣṭhair ivānalaḥ/

Maha Muni Agastya further addressed Shri Rama intimating that after Ravana's rajyabhisheka of Lankapuri, he was concerned of his only sister Shurpanakha. While taking a joy ride in one 'udyanavana' in the outskirts of Lankapuri where only pashu- manushayas move about, Ravana had casually seen Diti Putra Maya Danava and asked him about his background. 'In the distant past, there was an apsrara kanya of swarga loka Hema who was married to me and for some thousand years comfortably having built a Swarna Nagari by 'maaya' but she went away suddenly on some duty of Indra Karya and was yet to return leaving me alone for the last 14 years now leaving me with a daughter and two sons named Mayavi and Dundubhi'. Then Ravana introduced the danava putra about himeself as the Lankapui's King Ravana as the Pulastya poutra Vishrava's putra Ravana now proposing his sister Shurpanakha to Danava putra Maayavi. That was how Lankeshvara Ravana performed hid sister's wedding. Further, Danava Maya

proposed his daughter Mandodari to Ravana by holding her hands and said: 'Raja! This is my daughter Mandodari, do kindly accept her as your queen'. Thus the 'panigrahana' was duly performed as agni saakshi.' Then Agastya Muni annotated to Shri Rama that nodoubt Maya Danava was fully aware of Ravana's 'krura pravritti' yet being the descendent of Pulastya and Brahma had taken the risk. Then having successfully executed his sister's and his own weddings returned back to Lankapuri and performed the weddings of his brothers Kumbhakarna and Vibhishana; Virochanakumara Bali Chakravarti's douhitri or grand daughter named 'Vajjrajjvaala' to Kumbhakarna and Gandharva Raja Shailusha's daughter 'Sarama' the 'dharma tatwa jnaani' to Vibhishana. Devi Sarama was born on the banks of the famed Manasarovara as her mother cried out: 'Saro maa vardhasya'; in the confusion of prasava kaala, the mother's expression was Sarah maa! And thus the name of Sarama! In due course Devi Mandodari was blessed with a son Megha naada since Lankapuri was resounded my megha garjanaas and hence Ravana himself named the son as 'Meghanaada' who eventually turned be as Indrajit or who defeated Indra himself.

Sarga Thirteen

Kumbhakarna's 'maha nidra' attracts attention of 'rishi deva yaksha gandharvas' - Ravana's cruel attack on them- Kubera sends a messenger advising against Ravana's arrogance; but as Kubera highlights nearness to Maha Deva as he too was Shiva bhakta, he killed the emissary - decides killing Kubera too

Atha lokeśvarotsṛṣṭā tatra kālena kena cit, nidrā samabhavat tīvrā kumbhakarnasya rūpiṇī/ tato bhrātaram āsīnam kumbhakarņo 'bravīd vacaḥ, nidrā mām bādhate rājan kārayasva mamālayam/ Viniyuktās tato rājñā śilpino viśvakarmavat, akurvan kumbhakarnasya kailāsasamam ālayam/ vistīrnam yojanam śubhram tato dvigunam āyatam, darśanīyam nirābādham kumbhakarnasya cakrire/sphātikaih kāñcanaiś citraih stambhaih sarvatra śobhitam, vaidūryakṛtaśobham ca kinkinījālakam tathā/ dantatoranavinyastam vajrasphatikavedikam, sarvartusukhadam nityam meroh punyām guhām iva/ tatra nidrām samāviṣṭaḥ kumbhakarṇo niśācaraḥ, bahūny abdasahasrāṇi śayāno nāvabudhyate/ nidrābhibhūte tu tadā kumbhakarne daśānanah, devarsiyaksagandharvān bādhate sma sa nitvaśah/ udvānāni vicitrāni nandanādīni vāni ca, tāni gatvā susamkruddho bhinatti sma daśānanah/ nadīm gaja iva krīdan vrksān vāyur iva kṣipan, nagān vajra iva sṛṣṭo vidhvamsayati nityaśaḥ/ tathā vṛttam tu vijñāya daśagrīvam dhaneśvarah, kulānurūpam dharmajña vrttam samsmrtya cātmanah/ saubhrātradarśanārtham tu dūtam vaiśvaranas tadā, lankām sampresayām āsa daśagrīvasya vai hitam/ sa gatvā nagarīm lankām āsasāda vibhīsanam, mānitas tena dharmena prsthaś cāgamanam prati/ prstvā ca kuśalam rājño jñātīn api ca bāndhavān, sabhāyām darśayām āsa tam āsīnam daśānanam/ sa dṛstvā tatra rājānam dīpyamānam svatejasā, jayena cābhisampūjya tūṣṇīm āsīn muhūrtakam/ tasyopanīte paryanke varāstaraṇasamvṛte, upaviśya daśagrīvam dūto vākyam athābravīt/ rājan vadāmi te sarvam bhrātā tava yad abravīt, ubhayoh sadrśam saumya vrttasya ca kulasya ca/ sādhu paryāptam etāvat krtaś cāritrasamgrahaḥ, sādhu dharme vvavasthānam krivatām vadi śakvate/ drstam me nandanam bhagnam rsavo nihatāh śrutāh devānām tu samudyogas tvatto rājañ śrutaś ca me/ nirākrtaś ca bahuśas tvavāham rāksasādhipa, aparāddhā hi bālyāc ca rakṣaṇīyāḥ svabāndhavāḥ/ ahaṁ tu himavatpṛṣṭhaṁ gato dharmam upāsitum, raudraṁ vrataṁ samāsthāya niyato niyatendriyah/ tatra devo mayā drstah saha devyomayā prabhuh, savyam caksur mayā caiva tatra devyām nipātitam/ kā nv iyam syād iti śubhā na khalv anyena hetunā, rūpam hy anupamam kṛtvā tatra krīdati pārvatī/ tato devyāh prabhāvena dagdham savyam mameksanam, renudhvastam iva jyotih pingalatvam upāgatam/ tato 'ham anyad vistīrņam gatvā tasya gires taṭam, pūrṇam varṣaśatāny aṣṭau samavāpa mahāvratam/ samāpte niyame tasmims tatra devo maheśvaraḥ, prītaḥ prītena manasā prāha vākyam idam prabhuh/ prīto 'smi tava dharmajña tapasānena suvrata, mayā caitad vratam cīrņam tvayā caiva dhanādhipa/ trtīyaḥ puruṣo nāsti yaś cared vratam īdrsam, vratam suduścaram hy etan mayaivotpāditam purā/ tat sakhitvam mayā sārdham rocayasva dhaneśvara, tapasā nirjitatvād dhi sakhā bhava mamānagha/ devyā dagdham prabhāvena vac ca sāvyam taveksanam, ekāksi pingalety eva nāma sthāsyati śāśvatam/ evam tena sakhitvam ca prāpyānujñām ca śamkarāt, āgamya ca śruto 'yam me tava pāpaviniścayah/ tadadharmisthasamyogān nivarta kuladūsana, cintvate hi vadhopāyah sarsisamghaih

surais tava/ evam ukto daśagrīvaḥ kruddhaḥ samraktalocanaḥ, hastān dantāmś a sampīḍya vākyam etad uvāca ha/ vijñātam te mayā dūta vākyam yat tvam prabhāṣase, naiva tvam asi naivāsau bhrātrā yenāsi preṣitaḥ/ hitam na sa mamaitad dhi bravīti dhanarakṣakaḥ, maheśvarasakhitvam tu mūḍha śrāvayase kila/ na hantavyo gurur jyeṣṭho mamāyam iti manyate, tasya tv idānīm śrutvā me vākyam eṣā kṛtā matiḥ/ trīml lokān api jeṣyāmi bāhuvīryam upāśritaḥ, etan muhūrtam eṣo 'ham tasyaikasya kṛte ca vai, caturo lokapālāms tān nayiṣyāmi yamakṣayam/ evam uktvā tu lankeśo dūtam khaḍgena jaghnivān, dadau bhakṣayitum hy enam rākṣasānām durātmanām/ tataḥ kṛtasvastyayano ratham āruhya rāvaṇaḥ, trailokyavijayākānkṣī yayau tatra dhaneśvaraḥ/

Maha Muni Agastya continued addressing Shri Rama about Kumbhakarna and his deep sleep as per Brahma Vara- and Sarasvati's intervertion of the rakshasa's twisted tongue. Being unable to resist his deep sleep pursuant his wedding, Kumbhakarna requested Ravana to get a suitable bed to sleep on and in turn Ravana requested the maha shilpi Vishvakarma to get a cosy bed of two yojanas of length and one yojana of width [one yojana being of 15 km + approx.] embellished with sphtika mani golden 'sthambhas' or pillars fixed on four sides. The bed was to be into a 'meru parvata samaana' huge guha or cave which too was constructed almost instantly. tatra nidrām samāvistah kumbhakarņo niśācaraḥ, bahūny abdasahasrāni śayāno nāvabudhyate/ nidrābhibhūte tu tadā kumbhakarņe daśānanaḥ, devarsivaksagandharvān bādhate sma sa nityaśah/Mahabali Kumbhakarna who had so far resisted his deep sleep having some how entered his house and then into the huge bed set inside his cave like room and slept long for a time of thousand years. Ravana being desirous of ensuring his brother's profound sleep entered the cave like bed room had noticed deva-rishi-yaksha-gandharva samuhas were tormenting Kumbhakarna. He witnessed the situation as though devaas were freely moving about in the nandana vanaas, or like what rakshasas seeking to play with elephants in sarovaras or ferocious winds uproot maha vrikshaas. He was so much irritated and caught hold of his mighty twenty hands a sizeable groups of gandharvas and kept on hammering the gandharvas to death as their resounding desperate cryings. tathā vṛttam tu vijñāya daśagrīvam dhaneśvarah, kulānurūpam dharmajña vṛttam samsmṛtya cātmanah/ saubhrātradarśanārtham tu dūtam vaiśvaraņas tadā, lankām sampresayām āsa daśagrīvasya vai hitam/ As Kubera came to learn of Dashagriva's unbridled behavior of cruelty and the resultant misdeeds, he sent an emissary to Rayana and explain of his brother's affection and to kindly abstain from his instant rage on his gandharvas. Initially the emissary called on Vibhishana who welcomed him and asked him as to why he wished to visit Lankapuri and he replied to call on King Ravana with a message. Then he saw Ravana who sent the this message from Kubera: rājan vadāmi te sarvam bhrātā tava vad abravīt. ubhayoh sadrśam saumya vrttasya ca kulasya ca/ sādhu paryāptam etāvat krtaś cāritrasamgrahah, sādhu dharme vyavasthānam krivatām yadi śakyate/drstam me nandanam bhagnam rsayo nihatāh śrutāh, devānām tu samudyogas tvatto rājañ śrutaś ca me/ Maha Raja! Your brother Kubera had sent this message for you thus as his parents both belong to 'sataachaara' background. As in your case. Dashagriva! So far you have not done me justice and request you to tread the path of justice at least now. You had destroyed 'nandana vana' as I had seen myself. You had brutally killed Rishi Maharshis as I had come to learn. You had also started harassing some select Devatas, nirākrtaś ca bahuśas tvayāham rākṣasādhipa, aparāddhā hi bālyāc ca rakṣaṇīyāḥ svabāndhavāḥ/ aham tu himavatpṛṣṭham gato dharmam upāsitum, raudram vratam samāsthāva nivato nivatendrivah/ tatra devo mayā drstah saha devyomayā prabhuh, savyam caksur mayā caiva tatra devyām nipātitam/ kā nv iyam syād iti śubhā na khalv anyena hetunā, rūpam hy anupamam kṛtvā tatra krīdati pārvatī/ Rakshasa Raja! Do please recall that had been constantly insulting and harassing me also frequently. Yet I have been taking these affronts as childish immaturity of mind. I would now like to make an appeal to you to reorient your misled psyche. I have now been performing Roudra Vrata with self restraint having reached the himalaya shikhiras. There I have had Bhagavan Maha Deva's divya darshana. I tried to then look around and as my good fotune would have it I saw Devi Parvati Mother too as Rudrani was standing with an unparalleled swarupa. Owing merely to Her kindness my left eye rolled out tears even as my right eyesight was full of sand as of pingala varna or of red colour as Rudra Deva was Nilohita or of blue colour. tato devyāh prabhāvena dagdham savvam mameksanam, renudhvastam iva jyotih pingalatvam upāgatam/ tato 'ham

anyad vistīrnam gatvā tasya gires tatam, pūrnam varsaśatāny astau samavāpa mahāvratam/ samāpte niyame tasmims tatra devo maheśvarah, prītaḥ prītena manasā prāha vākyam idam prabhuḥ/Thereafter I mounted another peak of Kailasa and performed rigorous tapasya for eight hundred years with silent concentration and self control. As I was doing so, Bhagavan Maheshwara made His 'saakshaatkaara' and said: prīto 'smi tava dharmajña tapasānena suvrata, mavā caitad vratam cīrnam tvavā caiva dhanādhipa/ tṛtīyaḥ puruṣo nāsti yaś cared vratam īdṛśam, vratam suduścaram hy etan mayaivotpāditam purā/ tat sakhitvam mayā sārdham rocayasva dhaneśvara, tapasā nirjitatvād dhi sakhā bhava mamānagha/ devyā dagdham prabhāvena vac ca sāvvam taveksanam, ekāksi pingaletv eva nāma sthāsvati śāśvatam/ Dharmagina Dhanshwara! I am pleased with your performance of this unique Roudra Vrata as you have the glory of performing this vrata next only to me. Devi Parvati's celestial vision made you to roll tears from your left eye and your right eye with sand with pingala varna. Hence your name and fame should now onward be titled as 'Ekaakshipalingi'! evam tena sakhitvam ca prāpyānujñām ca śamkarāt, āgamya ca śruto 'yam me tava pāpaviniścayah/ tadadharmiṣṭhasamyogān nivarta kuladūṣaṇa, cintyate hi vadhopāyah sarsisamghaih surais tava/ Thence forward I have had established firm rapport and empathy with Bhagavan Shankra. Ravana! therefore you try to erase your 'kula kalanka' as supreme celestials and rishi maharshis had already been keenly engaged in your deep disaster too soon! evam ukto daśagrīvaḥ kruddhaḥ samraktalocanaḥ, hastān dantām's a sampīdya vākyam etad uvāca ha/ vijñātam te mayā dūta vākyam yat tvam prabhāsase, naiva tvam asi naivāsau bhrātrā yenāsi presitah/ hitam na sa mamaitad dhi bravīti dhanaraksakah, maheśvarasakhitvam tu mūdha śrāvayase kila/ As Kubera's messenger repeated Kuera's message, Ravanaasura with his red eyes and passionate ferocity pounded his teeth and replied to the messenger: I have indeed understood the substance of the message and neither your master nor even you would be left free with life. Why this emphasis on Kubera's great goodwill of Maha Deva vis a vis that of mine! na hantavyo gurur jyeştho mamāyam iti manyate, tasya tv idānīm śrutvā me vākyam eṣā kṛtā matih/ trīml lokān api jesyāmi bāhuvīryam upāśritah, etan muhūrtam eso 'ham tasyaikasya kṛte ca vai, caturo lokapālāms tān navisyāmi yamaksayam/I am indeed unable to contain myself! So far I have had retained my patience presuming that Kubera happened to be my cousin brother till now, but he had transgressed the outside limits. Now I have arrived at this conclusion that I should conquer trilokas with the strength of my hands and willpower. Right at this very moment I should despatch all the 'chatur disha lokapalakas' to Yama loka.evam uktyā tu lankeśo dūtam khadgena jaghniyān, dadau bhaksayitum hy enam rākṣasānām durātmanām/ tataḥ krtasvastyayano ratham āruhya rāvaṇaḥ, trailokyavijayākānkṣī vayau tatra dhaneśvarah/ So saying Rayana drew out his sword and killed the messenger to pieces and asked the rakshasaas around to enjoy the flesh.

Sarga Fourteen

Ravanasura along with six mantris and their senaas too attacked Yaksha sena and having succeeded forced entry Kubera Bhavana Dwaara

Tataḥ sa sacivaiḥ sārdham ṣaḍbhir nityam balotkaṭaiḥ, mahodaraprahastābhyām mārīcaśukasāraṇaiḥ/dhūmrākṣeṇa ca vīreṇa nityam samaragṛdhnunā, vṛtaḥ samprayayau śrīmān krodhāl lokān dahann iva/purāṇi sa nadīḥ śailān vanāny upavanāni ca, atikramya muhūrtena kailāsam girim āviśat/ tam niviṣṭam girau tasmin rākṣasendram niśamya tu, rājňo bhrātāyam ity uktvā gatā yatra dhaneśvaraḥ/ gatvā tu sarvam ācakhyur bhrātus tasya viniścayam, anujñātā yayuś caiva yuddhāya dhanadena te/ tato balasya samkṣobhaḥ sāgarasyeva vardhataḥ, abhūn nairṛtarājasya girim samcālayann iva/ tato yuddham samabhavad yakṣarākṣasasamkulam, vyathitāś cābhavams tatra sacivās tasya rakṣasaḥ/ tam dṛṣṭvā tādṛśam sainyam daśagrīvo niśācaraḥ, harṣān nādam tataḥ kṛtvā roṣāt samabhivartata/ ye tu te rākṣasendrasya sacivā ghoravikramaḥ, te sahasram sahasrāṇām ekaikam samayodhayan/ tato gadābhiḥ parighair asibhiḥ śaktitomaraiḥ, vadhyamāno daśagrīvas tat sainyam samagāhata/ tair nirucchvāsavat tatra vadhyamāno daśānanaḥ, varṣamāṇair iva ghanair yakṣendraiḥ samnirudhyata/ sa durātmā samudyamya kāladaṇḍopamām gadām, praviveśa tataḥ sainyam nayan yakṣān yamakṣayam/ sa kakṣam iva vistīrṇam śuṣkendhanasamākulam, vātenāgnir ivāyatto 'dahat sainyam sudāruṇam/ tais tu tasya

mṛdhe 'mātyair mahodaraśukādibhiḥ, alpāvaśiṣṭās te yakṣāḥ kṛtā vātair ivāmbudāḥ/ ke cit tv āyudhabhagnāṅgāḥ patitāḥ samarakṣitau, oṣṭhān svadaśanais tīkṣṇair daṁśanto bhuvi pātitāḥ/ bhayād anyonyam āliṅgya bhraṣṭaśastrā raṇājire, niṣedus te tadā yakṣāḥ kūlā jalahatā iva/ hatānāṁ svargasaṁsthānāṁ yudhyatāṁ pṛthivītale, prekṣatām ṛṣisaṁghānāṁ na babhūvāntaraṁ divi/ etasminn antare rāma vistīrṇabalavāhanaḥ, agamat sumahān yakṣo nāmnā saṁyodhakaṇṭakaḥ/ tena yakṣeṇa mārīco viṣṇuneva samāhataḥ, patitaḥ pṛthivīṁ bheje kṣīṇapuṇya ivāmbarāt/ prāptasaṁjño muhūrtena viśramya ca niśācaraḥ, taṁ yakṣaṁ yodhayām āsa sa ca bhagnaḥ pradudruve/ tataḥ kāñcanacitrāṅgaṁ vaidūryarajatokṣitam, maryādāṁ dvārapālānāṁ toraṇaṁ tat samāviśat/ tato rāma daśagrīvaṁ praviśantaṁ niśācaram, sūryabhānur iti khyāto dvārapālo nyavārayat/ tatas toraṇaṁ utpāṭya tena yakṣeṇa tāḍitaḥ, rākṣaso yakṣasṛṣṭena toraṇena samāhataḥ, na kṣitiṁ prayayau rāma varāt salilayoninaḥ/ sa tu tenaiva taṁ yakṣaṁ toraṇena samāhanat, nādṛśyata tadā yakṣo bhasma tena kṛtas tu saḥ/ tataḥ pradudruvuḥ sarve yakṣā dṛṣṭvā parākramam, tato nadīr guhāś caiva viviśur bhayapīḍitāḥ/

Having killed Kubera's messenger, the highly infuriated Ravana then got readied to attack Kubera, along with his six ministers named Mahodara-Prahasta-Maaricha- Shuka- Saarana- and Dhumraaksha. The Ravana sena crossed cities, villages, rivers, mountains, forests and so on and reached Kailasa Parvata on which Kubera and the yakshas. As the Yaksha sena and the Rakshasa sena got confronted each other, the Ravana mantri sena even of six each of them confronted each of thousand strong yaksha sena. Both the sides of yaksha-rakshasa veera sainikaas exchanged gada-musala-shakthi- tomaras in a manner that the surroundings of the parvata as though Kailasa itself was trembling with vibration. Ravana sena attacked Yakshaas as though agni jwalaas reinforced with 'maha vaayu pravaahaas' blazed forth berserk. tais tu tasya mṛdhe 'mātyair mahodaraśukādibhih, alpāvaśiṣṭās te yakṣāḥ kṛtā vātair ivāmbudāḥ/ ke cit tv āyudhabhagnāngāh patitāh samaraksitau, osthān svadašanais tīksnair damšanto bhuvi pātitāh/As the wild winds shatter off even thick black clouds, Mahodara-Shukaaadi maha mantri senaas had systematically destroyed the ever defensive yaksha left overs. How many of Yakshaas indeed had been survived with their parts destroyed or while their faces crumbled down with their teeth srill intact! bhayād anyonyam ālingya bhraṣṭaśastrā raṇājire, niṣedus te tadā yakṣāḥ kūlā jalahatā iva/hatānām svarga samsthānām yudhyatām pṛthivītale, prekṣatām ṛṣisamghānām na babhūvāntaram divi/Some having been frieghtened and fallen to earth were mutually pacifying each other. Some were dazed as having fallen down like the speedy river water flows seeking to reach the banks. Some of the Yaksha soldiers had swiftly reached veera swarga, some gazing the proceedings of the battle along with deva rishi samuhaas while still in queues waiting for their turn for entry.etasminn antare rāma vistīrņabalavāhanaḥ, agamat sumahān yakso nāmnā samyodhakantakah/ tena yaksena mārīco visnuneva samāhatah, patitah prthivīm bheje ksīnapunya ivāmbarāt/ prāptasamjño muhūrtena viśramya ca niśācarah, tam yaksam yodhayām āsa sa ca bhagnah pradudruve/Thus Agastya Maha Muni informed Shri Rama that at that juncture of the battle Kubera despatched 'Samyodhakantaka Veera Yaksha Veera', who attacked Rakshasa Maaricha like Vishnu would hurl his maha chakraayudha and the rakshasa fell deep down the kailasa parvata on earth. Having thus tossed down the Parvata, Maaricha took some rest returned and started confronting 'Samyodhakanataka' once again as the latter ran away and stood frightened. Meanwhile Dashagriva sought entry in the Kubera dwaara and was resisted by the dwaarapalala Suryabhaanu and punched the Mahasura Rayana by forcefully lifting the gates of the gate and smashed Rayana as the latter's blood flowed out nodoubt yet in tune with Brahma vara to Ravana was the least affected smacked back the dwaarapalaka as he was frightened and ran away. Thus, being totally unable to resist Ravana, vaksha sena found that they were neither able to resist nor defeat Rakshasaas nor save themselves.

Sarga Fifteen

Ravanaasura along with mantris and rakshasa sena attacks Yaksha sena and Dikpati -Dhanapati Kubera and after a remarkable victory seizes pushpaka vimana for ever and returned to Lankapuri

Tatas tān vidrutān drstvā yaksāñ śatasahasraśah, svayam eva dhanādhyakso nirjagāma ranam prati/ tatra mānicāro nāma yaksah paramadurjayah, vrto yaksasahasraih sa caturbhih samayodhayat/ te gadāmusalaprāsaśaktitomaramudgaraih, abhighnanto raņe yakṣā rākṣasān abhidudruvuḥ/ tataḥ prahastena tadā sahasram nihatam raņe, mahodarena gadayā sahasram aparam hatam/ kruddhena ca tadā rāma mārīcena durātmanā, nimesāntaramātrena dve sahasre nipātite/ dhūmrāksena samāgamya māṇibhadro mahāraṇe, musalenorasi krodhāt tāḍito na ca kampitaḥ/ tato gadām samāvidhya māṇibhadreṇa rākṣasaḥ, dhūmrākṣas tāḍito mūrdhni vihvalo nipapāta ha/ dhūmrākṣam tāḍitam dṛṣṭvā patitam śonitoksitam, abhyadhāvat susamkruddho mānibhadram daśānanah/ tam kruddham abhidhāvantam yugāntāgnim ivotthitam, śaktibhis tādayām āsa tisrbhir yaksapumgavah/ tato rāksasarājena tādito gadayā rane, tasya tena prahārena mukutah pārśvam āgatah, tadā prabhrti yakso 'sau pārśvamaulir iti smṛtah' tasmims tu vimukhe yakse mānibhadre mahātmani, samnādah sumahān rāma tasmiñ śaile vyavardhata/ tato dūrāt pradadrśe dhanādhyakso gadādharah, śukraprostah padābhyām ca śankhapadmasamāvṛtaḥ/ sa dṛṣṭvā bhrātaram samkhye śāpād vibhraṣṭagauravam, uvāca vacanam dhīmān yuktam paitāmahe kule/ mayā tvam vāryamāṇo 'pi nāvagacchasi durmate, paścād asya phalam prāpya jñāsyase nirayam gatah/ yo hi mohād visam pītyā nāyagacchati mānayah, parināme sa vi mūdho jānīte karmaṇaḥ phalam/ daivatāni hi nandanti dharmayuktena kena cit, yena tvam īdṛśam bhāvam nītas tac ca na budhyase/ yo hi mātrh pitrn bhrātrn ācaryāms cāvamanyate, sa pasyati phalam tasya pretarājavaśam gatah/ adhruve hi śarīre yo na karoti tapo 'rjanam, sa paścāt tapyate mūdho mrto dṛṣtvātmano gatim/ kasya cin na hi durbudheś chandato jāyate matih, yādṛśam kurute karma tādṛśam phalam aśnute/ buddhim rūpam balam vittam putrān māhātmyam eva ca, prapnuvanti narāh sarvam svakṛtaiḥ pūrvakarmabhiḥ/ evam nirayagāmī tvam yasya te matir īdṛśī, na tvām samabhibhāṣiṣye durvṛttasyaiṣa nirnayaḥ/ evam uktvā tatas tena tasyāmātyāḥ samāhatāḥ, mārīcapramukhāḥ sarve vimukhā vipradudruvuh/ tatas tena daśagrīvo yakṣendreṇa mahātmanā, gadayābhihato mūrdhni na ca sthānād vyakampata/ tatas tau rāma nighnantāv anyonyam paramāhave, na vihvalau na ca śrāntau babhūvatur amarsanaih/āgneyam astram sa tato mumoca dhanado rane, vārunena daśagrīvas tad astram pratyavārayat/ tato māyām pravistah sa rāksasīm rāksaseśvarah, jaghāna mūrdhni dhanadam vyāvidhya mahatīm gadām/ evam sa tenābhihato vihvalah sonitoksitah, kṛttamūla ivāsoko nipapāta dhanādhipah/ tatah padmādibhis tatra nidhibhih sa dhanādhipah, nandanam vanam ānīva dhanado śvāsitas tadā/ tato nirjitya tam rāma dhanadam rāksasādhipah, puspakam tasva jagrāha vimānam jayalakṣaṇam/kāñcanastambhasamvītam vaidūryamaṇitoraṇam, muktājālapraticchannam sarvakāmaphaladrumam/ tat tu rājā samāruhya kāmagam vīryanirjitam, jitvā vaiśravanam devam kailāsād avarohata/

As thousands of Yaksha Veeraas fled away, leaving behind countless yakshas were smashed to death, one Maha Yaksha named Manibhadra encountered Ravana and having led four thousand Yaksha Veeras as per Kubera's instruction. They were fully readied with gada-musala-praasa-shakti-tomara-mudgaraas and assaulted as they encouraged each other asserting that they should never leave a single rakshasa from death or while exchanging their ayudhas from each other. In fact while witnessing the killing sprees of rakshaaas, even Brahmavaad Rishis too were taken aback with surprise. But alas! Rakshasa Prahasta killed one thousand yakshas, Maareecha made two thousand yakshas downed to dust. Indeed! This easy way of fighting at ease irritated Dhumraksha and having got into vehment cruelty assaulted with his 'maayaa maya' methodology and threw his ' musala' at the chest of Manibhadra. In turn, Manibhadra lifted his mace and having revolved it a few times battered at the head of Dhumraksha who fell down while 'rakta pravaahaas' were resulted. Dashaaana on seeing this got enraged and hit three shakti ayudhaas simultaneously at the headgear of Manibhara who was also reputed as Paarshvamoulika fled away by Ravana's prahaara, realising that the latter was invincible any way. It was at that time that Kubera himself was visible from a distance along with two of his mantris named Shukra and Proushthapada. A little while later, Kubera addressed his first cousin Ravana as follows: mayā tvam vāryamāno 'pi nāvagacchasi durmate, paścād asya phalam prāpya jñāsyase nirayam gatah/ yo hi mohād viṣam pītvā nāvagacchati mānavaḥ, pariṇāme sa vi mūḍho jānīte karmaṇaḥ phalam/ daivatāni hi nandanti dharmayuktena kena cit, yena tvam īdrśam bhāyam nītas tac ca na budhyase/Durbuddhi

Dashagriva! Even after my sending across my considered advice, you have shamelessly attacked your cobrother and as you should finally had dropped in the hell, then only you would learn of that advice. Could those evil minded personalties like you having been puffed up with poisonous avarice ever absorb the purport of karma phala jnaana! Even after attaining success by such ways and means, if were not abided by dharma which devas abhor about, such success is merely sporadical and truly transcient. But most unfortunately right now this evrerlasting truism being the nature of incomprehensibility and a mystery. yo hi mātrh pitrn bhrātrn ācaryāms cāvamanyate, sa pasyati phalam tasya pretarājavasam gataļ/ adhruve hi śarīre vo na karoti tapo 'rjanam, sa paścāt tapyate mūdho mrto drstvātmano gatim kasya cin na hi durbudhes chandato jāyate matih, yādrsam kurute karma tādrsam phalam asnute/ buddhim rūpam balam vittam putrān māhātmyam eva ca, prapnuvanti narāḥ sarvam svakṛtaiḥ pūrvakarmabhiḥ/ He who betrays mothers and fathers, brahmanas and gurus of maturity and wisdom would be the natural preys of 'paapa bhogata' and thus of dishonoured victims of Yama dharma raja. This body of ours is truly transcient and once being ignorantly or well knowingly commit duraachaaraas post death then there could be no retrievability ever possible. Paapaphala is merely the root of 'duhkha maha vriksha' and is certainy not transferable. Mudhatva and Papatva are the such two branches of a Vriksha as would poison hastening its destruction. Karma and phala lead each other as being the nature of existence, since as one sows so is reaped. All the Beings on earth get bestowed with 'samriddhi- sundara rupa-bala-vaibhava-veerata-yukta santaana trupti only by 'punya karma anushthaana'. As Kubera concluded his explanation thus, he hit his gada ayudha on Ravana's head and thus led to mutual 'ayudha prahaaraas'. Kubera released his 'agneyastra' which was equalised with Ravana's 'vaarunaastra'. Then Ravana revealed his numerous forms of tigers, wild boars, clouds, mountains, seas, maha vrikshas, daityas and so on. Then Ravana upheld his mighty 'gada' and thumped on Kubera's head as the latter like a maha ashoka vriksha fell down on to earth. tato nirjitya tam rāma dhanadam rāksasādhipah, puspakam tasya jagrāha vimānam jayalaksanam/kāñcanastambhasamvītam vaidūryamanitoranam, muktājālapraticchannam sarvakāmaphaladrumam/ tat tu rājā samāruhya kāmagam vīryanirjitam, jitvā vaiśravanam devam kailāsād avarohata/Thus Ravanasura was puffed up with triumph against Yaksha Raja Kubera the Dhanaadhyaksha- Dikpati- Dhrama dhwaja and seized the Pushpaka Vimana right under his unique control. That Pushpaka is decorated its interiors with golden pillars with vaidurya mani toranas and pearl laced net works of magnifinence while its exteriors with rich vriksha sampada which would yield sweetest fruits and of a plethora of fragrant flowers all the seasons, be it summer or winter or rains. Thus Ravana with all his followers flew down the Kailasha shikharas on to Lankapuri with sensational victory.

Sarga Sixteen

<u>Dashagriva</u> visited 'Sharavana Sarkandavana' as the pushpaka vimana was halted by Nandeshwara- the angry Rakshasa lifted up the mountain, delighting Mahesha, named him as Ravana and gifted a khadga!

Sa jitvā bhrātaram rāma dhanadam rākṣasādhipaḥ, mahāsenaprasūtim tu yayau śaravaṇam tataḥ/athāpaśyad daśagrīvo raukmam śaravaṇam tadā, gabhastijālasamvītam dvitīyam iva bhāskaram/parvatam sa samāsādya kim cid ramyavanāntaram, apaśyat puṣpakam tatra rāma viṣṭambhitam divi/viṣṭabdham puṣpakam dṛṣṭvā kāmagam hy agamam kṛtam, rākṣasaś cintayām āsa sacivais taiḥ samāvṛtaḥ/kim idam yannimittam me na ca gacchati puṣpakam, parvatasyoparisthasya kasya karma tv idam bhavet/tato 'bravīd daśagrīvam mārīco buddhikovidaḥ, naitan niṣkāraṇam rājan puṣpako 'yam na gacchati/ tataḥ pārśvam upāgamya bhavasyānucaro balī, nandīśvara uvācedam rākṣasendram aśankitaḥ/nivartasva daśagrīva śaile krīḍati śamkaraḥ, suparṇanāgayakṣāṇām daityadānavarakṣasām, prāṇinām eva sarveṣām agamyaḥ parvataḥ kṛtaḥ/ sa roṣāt tāmranayanaḥ puṣpakād avaruhya ca, ko 'yam śamkara ity uktvā śailamūlam upāgamat/ nandīśvaram athāpaśyad avidūrasthitam prabhum, dīptam śūlam avaṣṭabhya dvitīyam iva śamkaram/ sa vānaramukham dṛṣṭvā tam avajñāya rākṣasaḥ, prahāsam mumuce maurkhyāt satoya iva toyadaḥ/ samkruddho bhagavān nandī śamkarasyāparā tanuḥ, abravīd rākṣasam tatra daśagrīvam upasthitam/ yasmād vānaramūrtim mām dṛṣṭvā rākṣasadurmate, maurkhyāt tvam avajānīse parihāsam ca muñcasi/ tasmān madrūpasamvuktā madvīrvasamatejasah, utpatsyante

vadhārtham hi kulasya tava vānarāh/ kim tv idānīm mayā śakyam kartum yat tvām niśācara, na hantavyo hatas tvam hi pūrvam eva svakarmabhih/ acintayitvā sa tadā nandivākyam niśācarah, parvatam tam samāsādya vākyam etad uvāca ha/ puṣpakasya gatiś chinnā yatkṛte mama gacchataḥ, tad etac chailam unmūlam karomi tava gopate/ kena prabhāvena bhavas tatra krīdati rājavat, vijnātavyam na jānīse bhayasthānam upasthitam/ evam uktvā tato rājan bhujān prakṣipya parvate, tolayām āsa tam śailam samṛgavyālapādapam/ tato rāma mahādevaḥ prahasan vīkṣya tatkṛtam, pādāṅguṣṭhena taṁ śailaṁ pīdayām āsa līlayā/ tatas te pīditās tasya śailasyādho gatā bhujāḥ, vismitāś cābhavams tatra sacivās tasya rakṣasaḥ/ rakṣasā tena roṣāc ca bhujānām pīḍanāt tathā,mukto virāvaḥ sumahāms trailokyam yena pūritam/ mānusāh śabdavitrastā menire lokasamksayam, devatāś cāpi samksubdhāś calitāh svesu karmasu/ tataḥ prīto mahādevaḥ śailāgre viṣṭhitas tadā, muktvā tasya bhujān rājan prāha vākyam daśānanam/ prīto 'smi tava vīryāc ca śaundīryāc ca niśācara, ravato vedanā muktah svarah paramadārunah/ yasmāl lokatrayam tv etad rāvitam bhayam āgatam, tasmāt tvam rāvano nāma nāmnā tena bhavişyasi/ devatā mānuṣā yakṣā ye cānye jagatītale, evam tvām abhidhāsyanti rāvaṇam lokarāvaṇam/ gaccha paulastya visrabdhah pathā yena tvam icchasi, mayā tvam abhyanujñāto rāksasādhipa gamyatām/ sāksān maheśvarenaivam krtanāmā sa rāvanah, abhivādya mahādevam vimānam tat samāruhat/ tato mahītale rāma paricakrāma rāvaṇah, kṣatriyān sumahāvīryān bādhamānas tatas tatah/

Agasyta then continued to Shri Rama that Ravana having accomplished victory against Kubera and seized Pushpaka vimana, flew across 'Sharavana named sarakanda vana' where Kartikeya was born.

[Vishleshana on Sarkanda Vana and Kartikeya Janma vide a) Padma and b) Skanda Puranas respectively:

- a) For a number of years, Shiva and Parvati were in a joyful mood after their marriage and there was little news for Indras and Devas about the possible arrival of Kartikeya who alone could terminate Tatakasura. Agni Deva took the form of a parrot and entered the Palace of Shiva and Parvati who found that Parvati was enjoying a bath in a Sarovar playing with lotus flowers and Lord Shiva was resting in his bed. She found six Krittikas in the Sarovar and told them that she was desirous of seeing the water drops inside the lotus bulbs; the Krittikas replied in fun that they would show the water drops provided they allow them also to share the joy of a child in her 'garbha'! The Krittikas further said that they should allow them too to own the child as their own as much as that of Devi Parvati and she agreed to the mutual deal; Krittikas showed the water drops inside the lotus bulb and drank them. As soon as she drank the water drops, there emerged a handsome and healthy boy from Devi Parvati's right abdomen with Sun-like luster and a powerful Physique wearing a 'Shula' and 'Ankush' in both of his hands. He was called 'Kumar' as many entities claimed parentage maily of course by Lord Shiva and Devi Parvati but also the Krittikas and even Agni. The boy had six brilliant faces and was popularly called by several names viz. Vishakha, Shanmukha, Skanda, Shadaanana and Kartikeya.
- b) After wedding, Maha Deva and Devi Parvathi moved on to Mountain Gandhamadan to a luxurious and lonely place for their honeymoon. As Bhagavan's virility was so potent that parts of humanity were getting destroyed and Vishnu asked Agni Deva to take the form of a Hermit and asked Parvati to donate it and extended his hand which was immediately consumed by Agni even before Her eyes. Parvati got angry and cursed Agni to become 'Sarva Bhakshak' or he who consumes everything. Agni could not bear the brunt of the virility of Maha Siva and begged Him to show a way to pass it on to someone; Shiva advised that the same be planted into virtuous women and Sage Narada annotated that such women of high merit taking bath on an early morning in the instant month of Magha would be attracted to Agni and his hot flames and they would be the best choice for the transfer of the virility in particles. As advised by Narada, Krittikas approached Agni seeking warmth from the cold morning and Agni transferred some drops of virility to the ladies through their skin pores. Kritthikas got pregnant and their angry husbands gave a curse to them to roam on the Sky. They became Stars in a constellation and aborted their pregnancies. The major portion of the virility got left however on top of the Himalayas which was lifted

by a crane and pushed into Ganges and the drops which were radiant like fire sparks got meshed up in the river bed plants (Sarkhand) of Ganges, who carried the foetus to a secluded place in the bushes thus emerging a Six Headed Child Kartikeya! As soon as the boy of highly chiselled face and limbs was born with extraodinary splendour, there was such illumination that travelled all over the Three Worlds instantly. Shiva Deva and Devi Parvati appeared at once on their Vrishaba carrier and were overwhelmed with parental love and affection.]

Further stanzas to follow:parvatam sa samāsādya kim cid ramyavanāntaram, apaśyat puṣpakam tatra rāma viṣṭambhitam divi/ viṣṭabdham puṣpakam dṛṣṭvā kāmagam hy agamam kṛtam, rākṣasaś cintayām āsa sacivais taih samāvṛtah/ kim idam yannimittam me na ca gacchati puspakam, parvatasyoparisthasya kasya karma tv idam bhavet/ After crossing the Sharvana-Sarkhanda jungle, Ravana and his party saw many mountains were crossed and the 'vanasthali' was indeed picturesque. But suddenly the Pushpaka Vimana slowed down and and stopped mid air high on the lower skies. Ravana enquired of his mantris as to why the vimana stopped suddenly as it should normally procede as per our wishes. Would it be that somebody might be staying down there and possibly was stopped all of a sudden! tato 'bravīd daśagrīvam mārīco buddhikovidaḥ, naitan niṣkāraṇam rājan puṣpako 'yam na gacchati/ Then buddhi kushala Ravana Mantri Mareecha remarked: Rakshasa Raja! would it be possible that there might be some intervention of Yaksha Raja Kubera! tatah pārśvam upāgamya bhavasyānucaro balī, nandīśvara uvācedam rāksasendram aśankitah/ nivartasva daśagrīva śaile krīdati śamkarah, suparnanāgayaksānām daityadānavarakṣasām, prāṇinām eva sarveṣām agamyaḥ parvataḥ kṛtaḥ/ Even as Maarecha remarked of Kubera's intervention, Nandiswara the' sannihita of Bhagavan Shankara' peeped in; he was looking frieghtening, loathsome, with dark figure yet mixed with red color as of pingala varna, shaven head and of short hands with unbelievable body strength; Nandiswara shouted on Ravanasura: 'Dashagriva! Get back and clear off your vimana at once. This is a prohibited area for Naaga, Suvarna, Yaksha, Devata, Gandharva Rakshasaas and is not a thoroughfare.

[Vishleshana on the Origin and Glory of Nandeshwara from a) Linga and b) Varaha Puranas:

a) Maharshi Shilada approached Indra Deva to bless him to a highly renowned and virtuous son who would be 'Ayonijam' and 'Mrityuheenam' or unborn to a woman and deathless. Indra Deva expressed his inability and said: Na durlabho Mrityuheenastwa Putro hyayonijah, Mayaa cha Vishnunaa chaiva Brahmanaa cha Mahatmanaa/ (It is not possible for Brahma or Vishnu to grant a son who would be unborn to a woman and would not die). Maharshi Shilada then performed severe Tapasya for thousands of years and his body got degenerated to such an extent that it became a skeleton full of worms. Finally, Maha Deva granted his vision and Shilada's wish: Tawa Putro bhavishyaami Nandi naamnaa twayonijah, Pitaa bhavisyaasi mama Pitrurvey Jagataam Muney/ (I shall grant you a son with the name of Nandi and he would be my son and would be popular like wise). Then Nandi was born at Yagna Bhumi with the features of Maha Deva himself with Trinetras, Chaturbhjas and as Jataa mukuta and Vajra-Sarpa dhaari when Devatas rained fragrant flowers, Apsaraas danced and Gandharvaas sang tuneful hymns in praise of Shiva and Nandi. Vasus, Rudras and Indra prayed respectfully and Devis like Lakshmi, Jyeshtha, Diti, Aditi, Nanda, Shachi, Bhadra and others rendered 'Stutis' to Nandi. Shailada Muni commended Maha Deva as well as Nandeswara and expressed his total satisfaction and gratitude. As Nandeswara was taken into the 'Parnashala' or thached home of Shailada, Nandi assumed a human Rupa instead of Deva Swarupa. Shailada Muni was overjoyed, performed the child's Jaata Karma and other Vedic Tasks and on the son's attaining seven years performed his Yagnopaveeta dharana and 'Upaasana' of Gayatri and tendered him to the Ashram of Maharshi Mitraavaruna. The Guru taught Veda Vidya, Shastras and other Scriptures, besides Dhanur Vidya, Ayur Veda and MantraVidyas, Chatushashti Kaalas, Ashrama Dharmas and so on. Mitravaruna was very proud of the student and so was Muni Shilada; the Guru then blurted at that time of Nandi 's exit from Ashram that doubteless Bala Nandi displayed extra-ordinary brilliance as a fulfedged Scholar and accomplishment but was shortlived! Shilada fainted at this disclosure for long and after regaining normalcy took to extreme Tapasya again to Maha Deva; even as

Shilada was engaged in Tapasya, Shiva appreared, fondled Nandi, assured him not to get disturbed from what was stated by his Guru. He said that actually he sent messengers that Nandi's life was almost over since his human birth would anyway be of Tapatrayas and hence he was terminating the Manava Janma to bestow Everlasting Life; by so saying, Maha Deva touched Nandi so that his physical body would fall down with his Jataa Mukuta etc and secure a permanent Rudra Rupa. The Place where the human form of Nandi's 'Jatajuta' fell on Earth was materialised into a Sacred River called Jatodaka and Nandi's new Form was of a 'Vrishabha'; Parama Shiva himself performed 'Abhisheka' on the new Form of Nandi and that Place came to be called Vrishadhwani, Jambunada or Panchanada and Vishwakarma gifted a Golden Mukuta or Headgear and Kundalaas or Ear Rings. Thereafter Nandeswara familiarised with his mother Devi Girija and also the Ganaas, whom he was empowered as their Chief. Devi Parvati endeared the son who prostrated before her with veneration. Maha Deva declared to the Tri Lokas that Nandeswara was the son of Shiva and Parvati. Devas headed by Indra, Brahma, Vishnu, Dikpalakas, Maharshis, besides Yaksha-Gandharva-Muni and Yogi ganaas were all invited to a huge event where Nandeswara's unique name was fame were known all over, where ever Maha Deva was known and indeed Maha Deva was acclaimed as the Supreme Lord of the Universe. Parama Shiva granted a boon to Nandeswara that He would be in the 'Sannithi' (Presence) of Shiva always and any kind of worship to himself would be incomplete without any Service to Nandi! Even great sins of the magnitude of Brahma hatya could be nullified by Shiva Puja but at first, Nande -swara should be propitiated without fail; Aadow kurvaanamaskaaram tadantev Shivataam Vraiet/

b) The Northern Peak of Mandarachal Mountain known as Munjavan is picturesque where a Nandana Garden existed with most alluring surroundings of glittering precious stones and heaven-like ambience of streams, flowers and fruits where Devas made their temporary resting places and so did Celestial Beings like Kinnaras who sang their sweetest tunes and performed their dances. Most significantly, Maha Deva used to often grace the Place in the form of 'Sthanu Parameswara'. In the subsequent Treta Yuga, a Maha Muni called Nandi carried out a rigorous Tapasya for thousand years experiencing icy cold and extreme heat and Parameswara having tested his steadfast fortitude and unnerving faith finally gave 'Sakshatkar' and asked boons to bestow; but Nandi never yielded for 'Prabhutva, Amaratva, Indratva, Brahmatva, Lokapaalatva -Royalty, Immortality, the position of Indra, Brahma, Lokapaala -but his Bhakti should be eternal, or else there should not be Bhakti at all! Very gladly, Shankara awarded the World's highest windfall that Nandi would be unique like Shiva Himself, that he would be the conduit between all Devas and Danavas, Indra and Brahma and all the Highest Powers that be as Shiva's own conscience! Thus Nandi the Head of Nandi Ganas became Trinetra, with Trishul, Danad, Pinaki, etc. like Second Shankara! In course of time, none could ever witness Shankara's physical form as He had turned Himself as a Deer in the Sleshmatak Forest, a fact not known to Nandi even! Led by Nandi, all the Deities including Indra made vigourous searches the World over but to no avail. Lord Brahma in His inner vision over Tapasya discovered Parameswara as a Deer in the Sleshmatak Forest not far from the renowned Pasupathinath Temple in Nepal. Indra, Brahma and Narayana reached the Forest and found the uni-horn Deer, chased it and nearly caught hold of the horn – Indra the top portion, Brahma the middle and Vishnu the lower portion. Unfortunately for them, the horn gave way into their hands as three parts and all the three cursed their own helplessness. A voice was then heard that the three of them were able to catch only the horn and that too in three pieces. If only the entire body were caught and installed then Dharma Dhenu (the Cow of Virtue) would have been on all four legs. Anyway, they should install their respective pieces of the hornthe upper portion as Uttar Gokarneswar, the middle portion as Dakshina Gokarneswar and the lower portion at Slesheswar. Lord Shiva further said that on the foot hills of Himalayas called Nepal, He would in any case emerge on His own with four resplendent faces in four directions which would be famous as 'Sariresh' (Pashupathinath); It is at this Illustrious Place where the Sacred Bagamati River originating from Himalayas flows that Slesheshvar Param Guha or the Sancrosant Cave had surfaced. There are any numbers of streams flowing where even a touch of the waters would destroy sins. To the South of Slesheswar is situated the 'Anashak' Tirtha which allows firm steps towards Mukti. Another Tirtha called 'Bhrigu Prapatan' destroys 'Arishat Vargas' (Six Enemies) viz. Kama (Desire) and Krodha (Anger);

Groups of 'Apsaras' (Celestial Dansueses) take off by Vimans from this Place to 'Swarga'. Lord Brahma Himself established 'Brahmodabhed' Tirtha which has the reputation of abolishing 'Rajo guna' if a devotee takes bath with Indriya-Nigrah or limb control for a year to qualify him to ascend to Brahma Loka. There is also a 'Gorakshak' Tirth a visit of which would bestow the benefit of 'Sahasra-Daan' or Charity of Thousand Cows. A Climb of Gauri Shikhar provides Devi- Sayuiya. Down under the Mountain a bath in Baghmati River at 'Ratna Kund' blesses attainment of Skandalok. Even a simple bath at 'Panchanadi Tirtha' bestows the Punya of performing 'Agnishtoma'. To North of Slesheswar is 'Pranthakapaniya' Tirtha where Gandharvas were renowned to worship Shiva. To North West, a sincere bath in 'Brahmodaya Tirtha' along with 'Sandhyopasana' would assure that there would be no visit to 'Mrityu loka' and that there would not be any difficulties for the rest of life. The devotees who perform Pitra Tarpana and Shraddha in the Sangam Place of Bhagmati and Manivati Rivers would most certainly accomplish the best of Shiva Devas' blessings!Lord Indra situated the top portion of the 'Shringa' at Swarga itself. Brahma set up the middle portion of the Deer Horn at Gokarna and Lord Vishnu set it up at Shringeshwar. But Bhagavan's body without the Horn has infinite forms! For example, Ravanaasura secured one linga which got enrtrenched in Earth beacause of the trickstery of Ganesha and tried to pull it tight and gave up! (Gokarna in North Karnataka is a Siddha Linga at Mahabaleswar Temple; the coverings of the Atma Linga sought to have been brought by Ravana fell at Dhareswar, Gunavantheswar, Murudeswar and Sajjeswar Temples, as popularly believed).

Tamil Purana Tiruvalaidal mentions another story in which Nandi took the form of a whale as Devi Parvati lost her concentration while Shiva was explaining the meaning of Vedas to her. Parvati incarnated as a fisherwoman for the atone. To unite his master and his beloved wife, Nandi took the form of a whale and started to trouble the people. Fisherwoman Parvati's father told that anyone who killed the whale would marry his daughter. Later Lord Shiva took the form of a fisherman, killed the whale and got Parvati in her previous form.]

Further stanzas continued:

sa roṣāt tāmranayanaḥ puṣpakād avaruhya ca, ko 'yam śamkara ity uktvā śailamūlam upāgamat/ nandīśvaram athāpaśvad avidūrasthitam prabhum, dīptam śūlam avastabhva dvitīvam iva śamkaram/ sa vānaramukham dṛṣṭvā tam avajñāya rākṣasaḥ, prahāsam mumuce maurkhyāt satoya iva toyadaḥ/ As Nandishwara shouted on Ravana most insultingly, Dashagriva became incensed with fury, stood up with his 'karnakudalaas' swinging across as his ten faces and looked frightening: 'Who are you and who is Shankara anyway to interrupt my journey forward!' While Rayana yelled so, he realised that Nandishwara himself was like Bhagava Shankara was his alternate form himself even as his face was like of a Vaanara Then he had made a boisterous laughter. samkruddho bhagavān nandī śamkarasyāparā tanuh, abravīd rākṣasam tatra daśagrīvam upasthitam/ yasmād vānaramūrtim mām dṛṣṭvā rākṣasadurmate, maurkhyāt tvam avajānīṣe parihāsam ca muñcasi/ tasmān madrūpasamyuktā madvīrvasamatejasah, utpatsvante vadhārtham hi kulasva tava vānarāh/Ravana! vou seem to have felt that I am of Vanara swarupa. But fear not, very soon a vaanara would soon teach many lessons of your doom. Cruelmost Nishachara! Mind you that soon vaanaras would use their sharp nails and teeth to teach you very hard lessons with their 'parvataakaaraas'. Then they would fecilitate your uprooting along with 'putra bhratara bandhu parivaaraas' too! kim tv idānīm mayā śakyam kartum yat tvām niśācara, na hantavyo hatas tvam hi pūrvam eva svakarmabhih/ acintavitvā sa tadā nandivākyam niśācarah, parvatam tam samāsādya vākyam etad uvāca ha/ puspakasya gatis chinnā yatkrte mama gacchatah, tad etac chailam unmūlam karomi tava gopate/ kena prabhāvena bhavas tatra krīḍati rājavat, vijñātavyam na jānīṣe bhayasthānam upasthitam/ Nishachara! I could destroy you in no time, but of what avail! You are already on the high thouroughfares of self- destruction.' As Nandeshwara heckled Ravanasura, the Rakshasa was the least disturbed and went near the mountain and shouted on him: 'Pashu pata Nandi! The main reason to let pass my pushpaka vimana is due to this parvata; now I would wish to pull out the parvata itself and throw it off and clear my way. Is this the reason why Bhagavan Shankara should dance away'.evam uktvā tato rājan bhujān praksipya parvate, tolayām āsa tam śailam samrgayyālapādapam/

tato rāma mahādevaḥ prahasan vīkṣya tatkṛtam, pādāṅguṣṭhena tam śailam pīḍayām āsa līlayā/ tatas te pīḍitās tasya śailasyādho gatā bhujāḥ, vismitāś cābhavams tatra sacivās tasya rakṣasaḥ/Agasty Maha Muni further addressed Shri Rama: 'Dashagriva then pulled up and having lifted it kept on its shoulders and tried to quickly place it on his shoulders as the moountain was shaking sideways. As the Parvata was quaking the Pramatha ganaas too were wobbling too . Ravana's hands were then crushed thereunder and his mantris were full of astonishment.rakṣasā tena roṣāc ca bhujānām pīḍanāt tathā,mukto virāvaḥ sumahāms trailokyam yena pūritam/ mānuṣāḥ śabdavitrastā menire lokasamkṣayam, devatāś cāpi samkṣubdhāś calitāḥ sveṣu karmasu/ tataḥ prīto mahādevaḥ śailāgre viṣṭhitas tadā, muktvā tasya bhujān rājan prāha vākyam daśānanam/ prīto 'smi tava vīryāc ca śauṇḍīryāc ca niśācara, ravato vedanā muktaḥ svaraḥ paramadāruṇaḥ/ As the rakshasa's hoarse cryings due the uplifting the mountain and the severity of its swing and shake made the trilokas and their inhabitants were bewildered with 'artanaadaas'. As the Beings on earth felt that ' maha pralaya kaala' had arrived, Indraadi devataas too were unable to find the way out.' Agastya Muni then continued his naration further: Dashagriva then duly eulogised Vrishabhadhwaja who was seated atop the Kailasa for some thousand years in that very manner. Then Maha Deva was pleased with <u>Ravana Stuti</u>.

[Vishleshana on Ravanasura's Stotra on Maha Deva:

Jatatavigalajjala pravahapavitasthale, Galeavalambya lambitam bhujangatungamalikam/Damad damad damaddama ninadavadamarvayam, Chakara chandtandavam tanotu nah shivah shivam/ Parama Shiva! Your jatajutaas are ever wet, neck is garlanded with serpents, and hands with damaru with resonances of 'damat damat damat damat, damat damat, damat d Jata kata hasambhrama bhramanilimpanirjhari, vilolavichivalarai virajamanamurdhani/ Dhagadhagadhagajjya lalalata pattapayake, Kishora chandrashekhare ratih pratikshanam mama Parama Shiva! I am ever lost in my prayers for you as your jatajutas are saturated with waves of Ganga and falling on your fiery 'trinetras' as your mastaka is adorned with pournami chandra! Dharadharendrana ndinivilasabandhubandhura, Sphuradigantasantati pramodamanamanase/ Krupakatakshadhorani nirudhadurdharapadi, Kvachidigambare manovinodametuvastuni/ Parama Shiva! May my mind set be ever replete with 'Shiva Consciousness', which is omni present and is always with the companionship of Devi Parvati, the Parama Shakti, adrorned with radiant crown. Jata bhujan gapingala sphuratphanamaniprabha,Kadambakunkuma dravapralipta digvadhumukhe/ Madandha sindhu rasphuratyagutariyamedure, Mano yinodamadbhutam bibhartu bhutabhartari/ Parama Shiva! May I rejoice in my thoughts on you as the seed of my existence always recalling your swarupa as neelagriva with serpent garlands, jatajutas covering 'dashadishas', robed in 'gajacharma'. Sahasra lochana prabhritya sheshalekhashekhara, Prasuna dhulidhorani vidhusaranghripithabhuh/ Bhujangaraja malaya nibaddhajatajutaka,Shriyai chiraya jayatam chakora bandhushekharah/ Parama Shiva! Grant me prosperity, longevity and popularity, as you are Chandra embellished crown, jatajutas with snake garlands and footrest replete with flowers fallen from heads of Indra, Vishnu, devas. Lalata chatvarajyaladhanajnjayasphulingabha,nipitapajnchasayakam namannilimpanayakam Sudha mayukha lekhaya virajamanashekharam, Maha kapali sampade shirojatalamastunah/ Parama Shiva! We we be bestowed with Siddhis of anima-mahima-laghima-garima-prapti-parakamyavashitwa, ishitva, parakaya pravesha-doora darshana/shravana, manojavam, swacchanda maranam, deva sahakreeda yathaa sankalpa siddhi from your jataajutas, the halaahala agni as dvoured by you and from the artha chandra mastaka. kraala phaala pattika dhagad dhagad dhagajjvaladghanjjaahutikruta prachandapajnchasayake,Dharadharendra nandini kuchagrachitrapatraka,Prakalpanaikashilpini trilochane ratirmama/Parama Shiva! My intense interest in you if for your Trinetras, the third eye having burnt off Manmadha the God of Love and Passion, besides your damaruka shabda of 'dhagad dhagad' and your naughty glances on the Himapurti's enduring enchantment for ever. navina megha mandali niruddhadurdharasphurat,kuhu nishithinitamah prabandhabaddhakandharah/ nilimpanirjhari dharastanotu krutti sindhurah, Kalanidhanabandhurah shriyam jagaddhurandharah/Parama Shiva! Do kindly bestow us 'aishvarya' as you bear the brunt of the universe, since we pray with commitment and

belief in you as with crescent Moon on your fore head, the celestial Ganges on your jataajutaas, as your dark throat retains dark 'kaala vishaagni' and chandra kalas get prominent depite th layers of clouds all round.! Praphulla nila pankaja prapajnchakalimchatha, Vdambi kanthakandali raruchi prabaddhakandharam/ Smarachchidam purachchidam bhavachchidammakhachchidam, Gajachchidandhakachidam tamamtakachchidam bhaje/Parama Shiva! I am totally immersed in prayers for you ever as you the sheen of Devalayas, the glory of Lotus ponds, and as Nilagriva spreading the darkness of the Universe. You subjected Kaama Deva with 'agni jyaalaas as 'nirupa' the formlessdestroyed Tripurasuras as of negation of Yaginas, principles, bonds of contented living, and of harassment- shattered Andhaka- overwhelmed Yama as Mrityunjaya! Akharvagarvasarvamangala kalakadambamajnjari,Rasapravaha madhuri vijrumbhana madhuvratam/Smarantakam purantakamavantakam,mahantakam,Gajantakandhakantakam tamantakantakam bhaje/ Parama Shiva! My reverential prostrations to you as your 'garala kantha' is ever swarmed by honey bees since the kadamba pushpas are ever attracted by them since your glorious as Manmadhantaka, Tripurantaka and Andhakaantaka too as Gaja charma vastra and mrrithynjaya! . Jayatvadabhravibhrama bhramadbhujangamasapur, Dhigdhigdhi nirgamatkarala bhaal havyayat/ Dhimiddhimiddhimidhya nanmrudangatungamangala, Dhvanikramapravartita prachanda tandavah shivah/ Parama Shiva! As the 'maha tandava swarrupa' even universally popular being responsive to the'dhimid dhimid' drum beats, with fire on your forehead as the 'neela kantha' even as the maha sarpa malaas wanders around the garala kantha. Drushadvichitratalpayor bhujanga mauktikasrajor, Garishtharatnaloshthayoh suhrudvipakshapakshayoh/Trushnaravindachakshushoh prajamahimahendra - yoh, Sama pravartayanmanah kada sadashiyam bhaje/ Parama Shiya! Grant me the physical strength and 'mamo nishchalata' - (as I am lifting this 'maha kailaasa parvata' since Nandeeshwara is not allowing me to give way to proceed further)- as you are the Maha Deeva with eqaunimity of heart alike to your devotees or enemies, the commoners are emporers, as the approach you with veneration either with a blade of grass or lumps of mud or with 'mani haaraas' despite the hissing sarpa maalaas around the neela kantha! Indeed you are omni present, omni potent and omni scient in kaleidiscopic universe! Kada nilimpanirjhari nikujnjakotare vasanh, Vimuktadurmatih sada shirah sthamajnjalim vahanh/ Vimuktalolalochano lalamabhalalagnakah, Shiveti mantramuchcharan sada sukhi bhayamyaham/ Parama Shiva! When and how could be ever blissful - or with my ephemeral body of the consciousness there in! or would that be possibe living in a mountain cave or on the banks of the celestial Ganga! Surely I am certain that as my thoughts are pure and deeds are washed clean, then my chanting of 'Om Namah Shivaaya Mantra' fixed on my fore head and the inner vision should rasitt in Shiva Saakshaatkaara! Imam hi nityameva muktamuttamottamam stavam, Pathansmaran bruvannaro vishuddhimeti santatam/ Hare gurau subhaktimashu yati nanyatha gatim, Vimohanam hi dehinam sushankarasya chintanam/ Parama Shiva! Whosoever could practise the 'pathana-manana-nidhi dhyaasa' of this Ravana Stuti ought be purified with your saakshaatkaara!]

Further stanzas continued:

yasmāl lokatrayam tv etad rāvitam bhayam āgatam, tasmāt tvam rāvaņo nāma nāmnā tena bhaviṣyasi/ devatā mānuṣā yakṣā ye cānye jagatītale, evam tvām abhidhāsyanti rāvaṇam lokarāvaṇam/ Dashaanana! You are indeed worthy of being a hero and am pleased with your 'paraakrama'. As your shoulders and hands were crushed under the weight of the huge mountain, you kept on rattling the 'atyanta bhayanaka Raava or ever resounding 'aartanaada' due to which 'triloka pranis' stood up with fright; hence may you be named as RAVANA with which you woul become knowm all over the triloksa! Deva-manushya-yaksha and all the bhutala vaasis would now on ward call you the born Dashagriva! By the name of Ravana henceforth. Pulastyanandana! You now may move as you wish and may take my instruction to leave. Then Ravanasura replied: 'Maha Deva! I had been already secured 'varaprapti' from Brahma Deva to be invincible from 'deva-gandharva-daanava-raakshasa-guhyaka-naaga adi mahabala shaalis' but never counted of human beings as they are harmless anyway. Tripurantaka! I was also blessed by Brahma Deva with 'deerghaayush'. Now may I request you for a 'shastra' for my use. Evamuktastasthena Ravanena sa

Shankarah, dadou khadgam mahaa deeptam Chandrahaasamiti shrutam,aayushachaavashesham cha dadou Bhutapatistatada/ Datyovaacha tatah Shambhunaarvagjnaayamidam tvayaa, avajgnaatam yadi hi te maamevaishyastyasamshayah/ As Ravana requested, bhutanaadha hagavan Shankara handed over to him the 'atyanta deeptimaan Chandra naamaka khadga' with its longevity. Bhagavan however precautioned: 'you should ever be respectrful in your use for justfied causes by you and otherwise it would return back to me.' This was how, Dashagriva alighted the pushpaka vimana having accomplished a spectacular feat, and having been blessed my Maha Deva Himself, besides having been gifted Chandrahaasa namaka maha shastra with glory, thanks to Nandishwara's feigned resistance to let cross the pushtpaka vimana of the Maha Parvata. Indeed that was the fall out of Sharavana named Sarkandaaranya where Krittika Devatas were truly instrumental to the glorious birth of Swami Kartikeya!

Sarga Seventeen

Ravana sights Vedavati, a partial form of Maha Lakshmi, performing tapasya for Vishnu- he gets attracted to the tapasvini as she resorted to agnijwalas and curses to take revenge as Sita in next birth

Atha rājan mahābāhur vicaran sa mahītalam, himavadvanam āsādya paricakrāma rāvaṇaḥ/ tatrāpaśyata vai kanyām kṛṣṭājinajatādharām, ārṣeṇa vidhinā yuktām tapantīm devatām iva/ sa dṛṣṭvā rūpasampannām kanyām tām sumahāvratām, kāmamohaparītātmā papraccha prahasann iva/kim idam vartase bhadre viruddham yauvanasya te, na hi yuktā tavaitasya rūpasyeyam pratikriyā/ kasyāsi duhitā bhadre ko vā bhartā tavānaghe, prcchatah śamsa me śīghram ko vā hetus tapo'rjane evam uktā tu sā kanyā tenānāryeṇa rakṣasā, abravīd vidhivat krtvā tasyātithyam tapodhanā/ kuśadhvajo nāma pitā brahmarşir mama dhārmikaḥ, brhaspatisutaḥ śrīmān buddhyā tulyo brhaspateḥ tasyāham kurvato nityam vedābhyāsam mahātmanah, sambhūtā vānmayī kanyā nāmnā vedavatī smrtā/ tato devāh sagandharvā yaksarāksasapannagāh, te cāpi gatvā pitaram varanam rocayanti me/ na ca mām sa pitā tebhyo dattavān rāksaseśvara, kāranam tad vadisyāmi niśāmaya mahābhuja/ pitus tu mama jāmātā viṣṇuḥ kila surottamaḥ, abhipretas trilokeśas tasmān nānyasya me pitāḥ/ dātum icchati dharmātmā tac chrutvā baladarpitah, sambhur nāma tato rājā daityānām kupito 'bhavat, tena rātrau prasupto me pitā pāpena himsitaļ/ tato me jananī dīnā tac charīram pitur mama, parisvajya mahābhāgā pravistā dahanam saha/ tato manoratham satyam pitur nārāyaṇam prati, karomīti mamecchā ca hṛdaye sādhu viṣṭhitā/ aham pretagatasyāpi karisye kānksitam pituh, iti pratijñām āruhya carāmi vipulam tapah/ etat te sarvam ākhyātam mayā rākṣasapumgava, āśritām viddhi mām dharmam nārāyaṇapatīcchayā/ vijñātas tvam hi me rājan gaccha paulastyanandana, jānāmi tapasā sarvam trailokye yad dhi vartate/ so 'bravīd rāvaņas tatra tām kanyām sumahāvratām, avaruhya vimānāgrāt kandarpaśarapīditah/ avaliptāsi suśroni yasyās te matir īdṛśī, vṛddhānām mṛgaśāvākṣi bhrājate dharmasamcayah tvam sarvaguṇasampannā nārhase kartum īdṛśam, trailokyasundarī bhīru yauvane vārdhakam vidhim/ kaś ca tāvad asau yam tvam viṣṇur ity abhibhāṣase, vīryeṇa tapasā caiva bhogena ca balena ca, na mayāsau samo bhadre yam tvam kāmayase 'ngane/ ma maivam iti sā kanyā tam uvāca niśācaram, mūrdhajesu ca tām raksah karāgrena parāmrśat/ tato vedavatī kruddhā keśān hastena sācchinat, uvācāgnim samādhāya maranāya kṛtatvarā/ dharsitāyās tvayānārya nedānīm mama jīvitam, rakṣas tasmāt pravekṣyāmi paśyatas te hutāśanam/ yasmāt tu dharsitā cāham apāpā cāpy anāthavat, tasmāt tava vadhārtham vai samutpatsyāmy aham punah/ na hi śakyah striyā pāpa hantum tvam tu viśesatah, śāpe tvayi mayotsrste tapasaś ca vyayo bhavet/ yadi tv asti mayā kim cit kṛtam dattam hutam tathā, tena hy ayonijā sādhvī bhaveyam dharmiṇaḥ sutā/ evam uktvā pravistā sā įvalantam vai hutāśanam, papāta ca divo divvā puspavrstih samantatah/ pūrvam krodhahatah śatrur yayāsau nihatas tvayā, samupāśritya śailābhaṁ tava vīryam amānusam/ evam esā mahābhāgā martyeşūtpadyate punah,kşetre halamukhagraste vedyām agniśikhopamā/

Maha Muni Agastya further continued his narration about joy rides by his pushpaka vimana and saw a youthful tapasvini kanya performing deep tapasya seated in padmaasana and wearing 'black mriga charma' and 'jataadhara mastaka'. Even one glance on her, Ravana got obsessed with lustful desire, both

physically and mentally and descended from the pushpaka and introduced himself and asked for his parentage, her husband, her like-dislike for him and the married life if any. She replied: kuśadhvajo nāma pitā brahmarşir mama dhārmikah, bṛhaspatisutah śrīmān buddhyā tulyo bṛhaspateh tasyāham kurvato nityam vedābhyāsam mahātmanaḥ, sambhūtā vānmayī kanyā nāmnā vedavatī smṛtā/ tato devāḥ sagandharvā vaksarāksasapannagāh, te cāpi gatvā pitaram varanam rocavanti me/ As Ravana had asked her extremely politely, the tapsvini replied courteously too: 'My respected father is Brahmarshi Kushadhwaja, the son of Brihaspati as he had imbibed the qualities of Brihaspari himself. He gave birthg to a 'vaangmayi' kanya in me named Vedayati. As I have since grown up, Deva-Gandharva- Yaksha-Rakshasa- Naaga pramukhas of outstanding heritage approached my father seeking my hand.na ca mām sa pitā tebhyo dattavān rāksaseśvara, kāranam tad vadisyāmi niśāmaya mahābhuja/ pitus tu mama jāmātā visnuh kila surottamah, abhipretas trilokeśas tasmān nānyasya me pitāh/ dātum icchati dharmātmā tac chrutvā baladarpitah, śambhur nāma tato rājā daityānām kupito 'bhavat, tena rātrau prasupto me pitā pāpena himsitah/ But my revered father could not oblige any of those innumerables Since I was bent on marrying Bhagavan Vishnu only. In fact he too was clear in his mind set that Maha Vishnu himself should be his distinguished son in law. I am too of the outstanding resolve. Having heard of our mutual resolve, Daitya Raja Shambhu killed my father. .tato me jananī dīnā tac charīram pitur mama, parişvajya mahābhāgā praviṣṭā dahanam saha/ tato manoratham satyam pitur nārāyaṇam prati, karomīti mamecchā ca hṛdaye sādhu viṣthitā/ aham pretagatasyāpi karisve kānksitam pituh, iti pratiiñām āruhya carāmi vipulam tapah/ Subsequently, my dear mother too jumped into dead father's chitaagni and thus made 'sati saha gamana'. Then and there I had made a 'pratigina' that what all was my father's resolve of attaining Maha Vishnu ought to be truthfully pursued. That is how, Rakshasa Raja! I have briefly conveyed to to you; 'Narayana', and Narayana' only should be my husband and none else. I am of the firm decisiveness that none whatever could not be accomplished by patient perseverance.' As Devi Vedavati was assreting thus, the 'kaama peedita Ravana' turned his deaf ears and replied: 'Sushreni! It is clear that your mindset appears to be distorted and this kind of your resolve might me suitable for elderly mahilaa, but not appropriate for youthful kanyas like you. Do note that I am the King of Lankapuri and the ever renowned Dashagriva. I am now attracted you now, and would wish you to be my wife. kaś ca tāvad asau vam tvam visnur itv abhibhāsase, vīrvena tapasā caiva bhogena ca balena ca, na mavāsau samo bhadre yam tyam kāmayase 'ngane/ ma maiyam iti sā kanyā tam uyāca niśācaram, mūrdhajesu ca tām rakṣaḥ karāgreṇa parāmṛśat/ Tell me! who indeed is this Vishnu for whom you are so much enamoured about! What are his special qualifications! Is he that parakrami, tapasvi, or wealthy and the cynosure of all!' Devi Vedavati coolly replied: 'Never ever say one word in your defiance. Rakshasa Raja! Bhagavan Vishnu is the sole preserver of trilokas and the singular sustainer of the Universe.' Having heard the cool reply from Devi Vedavati, Ravana rakshasa extended his mighty hands and held Vedavati's 'keshaas'. tato vedavatī kruddhā keśān hastena sācchinat, uvācāgnim samādhāya maraṇāya kṛtatvarā/ dharṣitāyās tvayānārya nedānīm mama jīvitam, rakṣas tasmāt pravekṣyāmi paśyatas te hutāśanam/ yasmāt tu dharṣitā cāham apāpā cāpy anāthavat, tasmāt tava vadhārtham vai samutpatsyāmy aham punah/Devi Vedavati got fumed up and pulled off her own head hairs forcibly and instantly and utilised the 'kesha samudaya' as her defensive weapon as 'roshapurna prajiyalita agnijiyaala' shouted: 'neecha rakshasa! As you have thus humiliated me in this ugly and unprecedented misbehavior of the meanest possible ugly manner, I should straightaway jump into 'agni jwaalaas'. But before that, I should kill you mercilessly.na hi śakyah striyā pāpa hantum tvam tu višesatah, śāpe tvayi mayotsṛste tapasaś ca vyayo bhavet/ yadi tv asti mayā kim cit kṛtam dattam hutam tathā, tena hy ayonijā sādhvī bhaveyam dharminah sutā/ Since stree shakti might or might not be adequate agaist dushta buddhi shakti of a man, hence I must give you a severe 'shaapa' knowingly well that the record of my pavitrata might be somewhat affected. If only I had some satkarma, daana, homa, karya prapti as the best deserved daughter of my revered father, then in my next birth I should incarnate myself as a 'sati-saadhvi-ayonija kanya rupamati' then in my next birth when you ought to suffer the retribution of justice. Having cursed Ravana, Devi Vedavati offered herself to agni jwaalaas, as celestial flowers were rained down from the high skies. In the following birth, he got into the following birth as 'an ayonija' Devi Sita as from as an 'halaa avirbhaava'.

[Vishleshana on Devi Vedavati from Brahma Vaivarta Purana:

In the lineage of Manu Daksha Savarni were born Brahma Savarni-Dharma Savarni-Rudra Savarni-Deva Savarni and Indra Savarni who were all Parama Bhaktas of Bhagavan Vishnu. The son of Indra Savarni viz. King Vrishabhadhwaja was a great devotee of Parama Shiva and the latter considered the King even more important than his own sons Ganesha and Kumara. Somehow the King never followed the Vaishnava Dharma and even discouraged Vishnu Puja and Lakshmi Puja. An infuriated Surya Deva cursed the King that his Rajya Lakshmi would abandon him. Shiva in turn lifted his Trishul and ran behind Surya Deva and the latter sought refuge from his father Kashyapa Muni and Brahma. The three some of Surya, Kasyapa and Brahma sought protection from Vishnu Deva. Shiva too reached there and told Vishnu that Vrishabhadhwaja was his personal Bhakta and Surya cursed the King. Vishnu replied that by the time Shiva reached Vaikuntha, lot of time elapsed and not only Vrishabhadhwaja lost his Empire and died but also his son Rathadwaja passed away and the latter's sons Dharmadwaja and Kushadwaja became intense Bhaktas of Vishnu and were performing Tapasya to Lakshmi Devi; Vishnu further said that an 'Amsha' of Maha Lakshmi would be soon born to Malavati, the blessed wife of Kushadwaja. As soon as the baby was born, she recited Vedas and was thus named Vedavati. In course of time, Vedavati took to severe Tapasya. There was an Akaasha Vani (Celestial Voice) which pronouned that Vedavati in her next birth would be Vishnu's wife. On hearing this, Vedavati left for GandhamadanaMountain and intensified herTapasya further. The demon Ravanasura spotted Vedavati in Tapasya and made advances to her; she cursed Ravana at his misbehaviour, declared that she would sacrifice her life by jumping into Agni Kunda and in her next birth would become responsible for his death as Devi Sita, the wife of a human Avatara of Vishnu to be called Shri Rama. Devi Sita was wedded to Shri Rama in the next birth. To keep up the word of his father Dasharatha, Rama along with Sita and Lakshmana moved on to the forests and Agni Deva approached Rama as a Brahmana and conveyed that since the time for Sita's abduction by Ravana was imminent, he (Agni) should replace Devi Sita with Maya Sita and after the episode of Ravana's killing was over, he would replace real Sita with the shadow Sita after the 'Agni Pariksha' time. Vedavati alias Chhaya Sita proceeded to perform Tapasya at Pushkara Kshetra and in Dwapara Yuga became Draupadi as the daughter of Drupada Raja and further as the wife of Pandavas. Thus Vedavati was blessed as a *Trihaayani* born in Satya, Treta and Dwapara yogas].

Sarga Eighteen

Ravana in his pushpaka visited King of Maruds in an yagjna as Indraadi Devatas ran off, while Maharshi Samvarta advised not to fight; Ravana with pride returned away as Indraadi Devas gave boons to Maruds.

Eṣā vedavatī nāma pūrvam āsīt kŗte yuge, tretāyugam anuprāpya vadhārtham tasya rakṣasaḥ, sītotpanneti sītaiṣā mānuṣaiḥ punar ucyate/ praviṣṭāyām hutāśam tu vedavatyām sa rāvaṇaḥ, puṣpakam tat samāruhya paricakrāma medinīm/ tato maruttam nṛpatim yajantam saha daivataiḥ ušīrabījam āsādya dadarśa sa tu rākṣasaḥ/ samvarto nāma brahmarṣir bhrātā sākṣād bṛhaspateḥ yājayām āsa dharmajñaḥ sarvair brahmagaṇair vṛtaḥ/ dṛṣṭvā devās tu tad rakṣo varadānena durjayam, tām tām yonim samāpannās tasya dharṣaṇabhīravaḥ/ indro mayūraḥ samvṛtto dharmarājas tu vāyasaḥ kṛkalāso dhanādhyakṣo hamso vai varuṇo 'bhavat/ tam ca rājānam āsādya rāvaṇo rākṣasādhipaḥ, prāha yuddham prayacceti nirjito 'smīti vā vada/ tato marutto nṛpatiḥ ko bhavān ity uvāca tam, avahāsam tato muktvā rākṣaso vākyam abravīt/ akutūhalabhāvena prīto 'smi tava pārthiva, dhanadasyānujam yo mām nāvagacchasi rāvaṇam/ triṣu lokeṣu kaḥ so 'sti yo na jānāti me balam, bhrātaram yena nirjitya vimānam idam āḥṛtam/ tato marutto nṛpatis tam rākṣasam athābravīt, dhanyaḥ khalu bhavān yena jyeṣṭho bhrātā raṇe jitaḥ/ nādharmasahitam ślāghyam na lokapratisamhitam, karma daurātmyakam kṛtvā ślāghase bhrātṛnirjayāt/ kim tvam prāk kevalam dharmam caritvā labdhavān varam, śrutapūrvam hi na mayā yādṛśam bhāṣase svayam/ tataḥ śarāsanam gṛhya sāyakāmś ca sa pārthivaḥ, raṇāya niryayau kruddhaḥ samvarto mārgam āvrnot/ so 'bravīt snehasamvuktam maruttam tam mahān rsih, śrotavyam vadi

madvākyam samprahāro na te ksamah/ māheśvaram idam satram asamāptam kulam dahet, dīksitasya kuto yuddham krūratvam dīksite kutah/ samśayaś ca rane nityam rāksasaś caisa durjayah, sa nivrtto guror vākyān maruttah pṛthivīpatih, visrjya saśaram cāpam svastho makhamukho 'bhavat/ tatas tam nirjitam matvā ghoṣayām āsa vai śukah, rāvaṇo jitavām's ceti harṣān nādam ca muktavān/ tān bhaksavitvā tatrasthān maharsīn vajñam āgatān, vitrpto rudhirais tesām punah sampravavau mahīm/ rāvaņe tu gate devāḥ sendrāś caiva divaukasaḥ, tataḥ svām yonim āsādya tāni sattvāny athābruvan/ harṣāt tadābravīd indro mayūram nīlabarhiṇam, prīto 'smi tava dharmajña upakārād vihamgama/ mama netrasahasram vat tat te barhe bhavisvati, varsamāne mavi mudam prāpsvase prītilaksanam/ nīlāh kila purā barhā mayūrānām narādhipa, surādhipād varam prāpya gatāh sarve vicitratām/dharmarājo 'bravīd rāma prāgvamse vāvasam sthitam, paksims tavāsmi suprītah prītasva ca vacah śrnu/ yathānve vividhai rogaih pīdyante prānino mayā, te na te prabhavisyanti mayi prīte na samsayah/ mṛtyutas te bhayam nāsti varān mama vihamgama, yāvat tvām na vadhisyanti narās tāvad bhavisyasi/ ye ca madvişayasthās tu mānavāḥ kṣudhayārditāḥ, tvayi bhukte tu tṛptās te bhaviṣyanti sabāndhavāḥ/ varuṇas tv abravīd dhamsam gangātoyavicārinam, śrūyatām prītisamyuktam vacah patraratheśvara/varno manoharah saumyaś candramandalasamnibhah, bhavisyati tayodagrah śuklaphenasamaprabhah/ maccharīram samāsādya kānto nityam bhavişyasi, prāpsyase cātulām prītim etan me prītilakṣaṇam/ hamsānām hi purā rāma na varņah sarvapāndurah, pakṣā nīlāgrasamvītāh krodāh śaṣpāgranirmalāh/ athābravīd vaiśravaṇaḥ kṛkalāsam girau sthitam, hairanyam samprayacchāmi varnam prītis tavāpv aham/ sadravyam ca śiro nityam bhavisyati tavāksayam, esa kāñcanako varno matprītyā te bhavisyati/ evam dattvā varāms tebhyas tasmin yajñotsave surāh, nivṛtte saha rājñā vai punaḥ svabhavanam gatāh/

Thus Vedavati of Kritayuga had thus manifested as Devi Sita in Treta Yuga. Subsequently, Ravanaasura in his subsequent 'pushupaka vimana bhramana' reached Usheera beeja Desha where Raja Marut was executing a 'dharma yagina' along with Devas where Brahmarshi Samvarta too was present. But keeping in view of Brahma's boons to Ravana, the yagina got terminated as Indra- Dharma Raja, Varuna and Kubera changed their swarupas as a peacock, crow, swan and chameleon respectively. Other devatas too changed their forms as Ravan descended from the pushpaka. Then Ravana entered the yagina shaala and saw Raja Marut and shouted like a dog having entered the pavitra yagina shaala and barked. Raja Marut asked Ravana as to who was he! Ravana howled in laughter and replied that he was the younger brother of Kubera; yet he found the King of Marut was complacent and unnerved. Then Ravana declared: 'Could there be any other King on earth who would not be aware that there was a King who defeated and disgraced Kubera the Yaksha Raja and forcibly taken away this pushpaka vimana! Yes, I am that Ravana!' Raja Marut replied: Ravana! you are a dhanya rakshasa indeed. Surely you should have practised 'shuddha dharmaacharana' indeed. I have never had an opportunity of encountering ever! Durbddhi Ravana! keep standing erect as you should be receiving a befitting reply now! Then Raja Marut picked up his dhanush baanaas but Samvataka Maharshi stopped Marut and said that it would not be proper to attack as yagina bhumi should not be converted as yuddha bhumi for a yagina diksha purusha, besides do get warned that the rakshas raja would be able to uproot the Marud Vamsha; Thus my appeal is not to get violent at this juncture. Then Rayana vindicated his victory as rakshasa sena present in the vimana raised victory ninaadaas and enjoyed 'mamsa bhakshana' of the onlooker brahmanas present at the yagina. As Rayana and the followers alighted back the pushpaka, Indra-Dharma Raja-Varuna Deva got back to their nija swarupas and revived the lives of the bodies of the victimised brahmanas and onlookers of the Yagina. Further, the peacock swarupa Indra blessed the King of Marud ganas that his kingdom should never be subjected to sarpa bhaya and my megha swarupa should always be happy with 'sakaala varshas' thereafter. The crow swarupa Yama dharma raja blessed the Marud King that all the Beings in creation are subject to various bhoutika-maanasika-daivika-badhaa trayas, yet your praja should never be cursed with 'akaala mrityu baadhaas'! Then Varuna Deva in hamsa swarupa granted that the King of Marud and all his subjects that they would ever enjoy coolness of body and mind for ever as of cool flows of water; indeed that was how swans had thence onward had assumed spotless white from the erstwhile combination of blue and yellow. Then Kubera as a chameloen assured the King of Maruds assured gold from time to time. Thus Indraadi Devatas bestowed boons to the King of Maruds.

Sarga Nineteen

Ravana attacked Ayodhya King Anaranya who dared to face him as Rakshasa veeras were defeated but finally Ravana got victorious, yet Anaranya while falling cursed that Rama would soon kill him

Atha jitvā maruttam sa prayayau rākṣasādhipaḥ, nagarāṇi narendrāṇām yuddhakāṅkṣī daśānanah/ sa samāsādya rājendrān mahendravaruņopamān, abravīd rākṣasendras tu yuddham me dīyatām iti/ nirjitāh smeti vā brūta eso hi mama niścayah, anyathā kurvatām evam mokso vo nopapadyate/ tatas tu bahavah prājñāh pārthivā dharmaniścayāh, nirjitāh smety abhāsanta jñātvā varabalam ripoh/ dusyantah suratho gādhir gayo rājā purūravāh, ete sarve 'bruvams tāta nirjitāh smeti pārthivāh/ athāyodhyām samāsādya rāvano rāksasādhipah, suguptām anaranyena śakrenevāmarāvatīm/ prāha rājānam āsādya yuddham me sampradīyatām, nirjito 'smīti vā brūhi mamaitad iha śāsanam/ anaranyaḥ susamkruddho rākṣasendram athābravīt, dīvate dvandvavuddham te rāksasādhipate mavā/ atha pūrvam śrutārthena sajjitam sumahad dhi yat, niskrāmat tan narendrasya balam raksovadhodyatam/ nāgānām bahusāhasram vājinām ayutam tathā, mahīm samchādya niṣkrāntam sapadātiratham kṣaṇāt/ tad rāvaṇabalam prāpya balam tasya mahīpateḥ, prāṇaśyata tadā rājan havyam hutam ivānale/ so 'paśyata narendras tu naśyamānam mahad balam, mahārnavam samāsādya yathā pañcāpagā jalam/ tatah śakradhanuhprakhyam dhanur visphārayan svayam, āsadāda narendrās tam rāvanam krodhamūrchitah/ tato bānaśatāny astau pātayām āsa mūrdhani, tasya rākṣasarājasya ikṣvākukulanandanah/ tasya bāṇāḥ patantas te cakrire na kṣataṁ kva cit, vāridhārā ivābhrebhvah patantvo nagamūrdhani/ tato rāksasarājena kruddhena nrpatis tadā, talena bhihato mūrdhni sa rathān nipapāta ha/ sa rājā patito bhūmau vihvalāngah pravepitah, vajradagdha ivāranye sālo nipatito mahān/ tam prahasyābravīd raksa iksvākum prthivīpatim, kim idānīm tvayā prāptam phalam mām prati yudhyatā/ trailokye nāsti yo dvandvam mama dadyān narādhipa, śanke pramatto bhogesu na śrnosi balam mama/ tasyaivam bruvato rājā mandāsur vākyam abravīt, kim śakyam iha kartum vai yat kālo duratikramah/ na hy aham nirjito raksas tvayā cātmapraśamsinā, kāleneha vipanno 'ham hetubhūtas tu me bhavān/ kim tv idānīm mayā śakyam kartum prāṇaparikṣaye, iksvākuparibhāvitvād vaco vaksvāmi rāksasa/ vadi dattam vadi hutam vadi me sukrtam tapah, vadi guptāh prajāh samvak tathā satvam vaco 'stu me/ utpatsvate kule hv asminn iksvākūnām mahātmanām, rājā paramatejasvī yas te prāṇān hariṣyati/ tato jaladharodagras tāḍito devadundubhiḥ, tasminn udāḥṛte śāpe puspavrstiś ca khāc cyutā/ tatah sa rājā rājendra gatah sthānam trivistapam, svargate ca nrpe rāma rāksasah sa nvavartata/

Agastya Maha Muni continued his explanation about duratma Ravanaasura and his escapades as he was fired up with his intense ambition to subue or win over celestial or earthly kings. Thus in his repetitive jaunts enabled by the pushpaka vimana, he visited various kingdoms threatening the Kings to either endorse their defeats or be prepared for attacks. Then he landed at the Kingdom of Ayodhya where King Anaranya and repeated the swan song of either suddender or be ready for an attack. Rayana stated further: indeed invariably the Ayodhya kings were all humbled as Dushyanta, Suradha, Gaadhi, Gaya, Pururavaadi Rajas raised their truce flags. Then Anaranya said: 'Nishaahara pati! May I take an opportunity of dwandwa yuddha!'. Then some ten thousand elephants, one lakh horsemen, several charioteers and innumerable foot soldiers were on the attack. But then Anaranya sena was devastated by the rakshasaas as dried up grass in agni jwaalaas. Aanaranya was stunned at the destruction yet due to his personal prowess sought to re-attack. He then like a lion ran after deers subdued raksha yoddhas the like of whom included Mareecha, Shuka, Saarana Rakhasas who ran awy. Then the Ikshvaaku Raja assaulted Ravana's dasha mastakas flinging with eight hundred arrows. But like varsha paata on parvatashikhara, the baana varsha of the Ayodhya King did not have much impact. In turn, Ravana gave a hard slap on the king as the latter fell down from his chariot and stated shivering with acute pain, as Ravana had a boisterous laughter shouting: 'oh misersble king of Ayodhya! None indeed in trilokas there might be a hero who could subdue me!' Even his 'praana shakti' was gradually dwindling away, King Anaranya in subued tone stated: na hv aham nirjito raksas tvavā cātmapraśamsinā, kāleneha vipanno 'ham hetubhūtas tu me bhavān/ kim tv idānīm mayā śakyam kartum prāṇaparikṣaye, ikṣvākuparibhāvitvād vaco vakṣyāmi rākṣasa/ yadi dattam yadi hutam yadi me sukṛtam tapaḥ, yadi guptāḥ prajāḥ samyak tathā satyam vaco 'stu me/ Rakhasa! You are indulging in self praises as you have finally succeeded inspite of me; indeed this is 'kaala mahima' as basically it is that Kaala pravaha which had subdued me.I am happy however that I had dared to attack but neither surrendered meekly nor ran away being frightened, but got defeated in my eventual death. 'But, Rakshasa! You heckled about my ancestry that the erstwhile Kings Ayodhya surrended to you meekly and hence I should give you a 'shaap' with the curse as follows: If only I have had perfomed daana-punya-homa-tapa- dharmaanusara praja paalanas, may my words turn to be truthful. utpatsyate kule hy asminn ikṣvākūṇām mahātmanām, rājā paramatejasvī yas te prāṇān hariṣyati/ tato jaladharodagras tāḍito devadundubhiḥ, tasminn udāhṛte śāpe puṣpavṛṣṭiś ca khāc cyutā/ tataḥ sa rājā rājendra gatah sthānam triviṣṭapam, svargate ca nṛpe rāma rākṣasaḥ sa nyavartata/ My forthcoming generation of Ishvaku King Dasharatha be blessed to give birth to Shri Rama who would destroy you and usher in loka kalyana.' As Anaranya sad thus deva dudubhis were sounded and 'aakaasa pushpa varshaas' got initiated'.Then Ravana, quite unmindful of the 'shaapa', proceeded to swarga loka.

Sarga Twenty

<u>Kalahapriya Narada diverted Ravana's tour to swarga loka to Yamaloka and followed himself to watch the proceedings</u>

Tato vitrāsayan martyān pṛthivyām rākṣasādhipah, āsasāda ghane tasmin nāradam munisattamam/ nāradas tu mahātejā devarşir amitaprabhah, abravīn meghapṛṣṭhastho rāvaṇaṁ puṣpake sthitam/ rākṣasādhipate saumya tiṣṭha viśravasaḥ suta, prīto 'smy abhijanopeta vikramair ūrjitais tava/ viṣṇunā daityaghātaiś ca tārksyasyoragadharsanaih, tvayā samaramardaiś ca bhṛśam hi paritositah/ kim cid vaksyāmi tāvat te śrotavyam śrosyase yadi, śrutvā cānantaram kāryam tvayā rāksasapumgava/ kim ayam vadhyate lokas tvayāvadhyena daivataih, hata eva hy ayam loko yadā mṛtyuvaśam gatah/ paśya tāvan mahābāho rākṣaseśvaramānuṣam, lokam enam vicitrārtham yasya na jñāyate gatiḥ/ kva cid vāditranrttāni sevvante muditair janaih, rudvate cāparair ārtair dhārāśrunavanānanaih/mātā pitrsuta snehair bhāryā bandhumanoramaiḥ, mohenāyam jano dhvastaḥ kleśam svam nāvabudhyate/ tat kim evam parikliśya lokam mohanirākṛtam, jita eva tvayā saumya martyaloko na samśayaḥ/ evam uktas tu lankeśo dīpyamāna ivaujasā, abravīn nāradam tatra samprahasyābhivādya ca/ maharse devagandharvavihāra samarapriya, aham khalūdyato gantum vijayārthī rasātalam/ tato lokatrayam jitvā sthāpya nāgān surān vaśe, samudram amrtārtham vai mathisyāmi rasālayam/ athābravīd daśagrīvam nārado bhagavān rsih, kva khalv idānīm mārgena tvayānena gamisyate/ ayam khalu sudurgamyah pitrrājñah puram prati, mārgo gacchati durdharşo yamasyāmitrakarśana/ sa tu śāradameghābham muktvā hāsam daśānanah, uvāca kṛtam ity eva vacanam cedam abravīt/ tasmād eṣa mahābrahman vaivasvatavadhodyatah, gacchāmi dakṣiṇām āśām yatra sūryātmajo nṛpaḥ/mayā hi bhagavan krodhāt pratijñātam raṇārthinā, avajesvāmi caturo lokapālān iti prabho/ tenaisa prasthito 'ham vai pitrrājapuram prati, prānisamkleśa kartāram vojavisvāmi mrtvunā/ evam uktvā daśagrīvo munim tam abhivādva ca, pravavau daksinām āśām prahṛṣṭaiḥ saha mantribhiḥ/ nāradas tu mahātejā muhūrtam dhyānam āsthitaḥ, cintayām āsa viprendro vidhūma iva pāvakah/ yena lokās trayah sendrāh kliśyante sacarācarāh, ksīne cāyusi dharme ca sa kālo himsyate katham/ yasya nityam trayo lokā vidravanti bhayārditāh, tam katham rāksasendro 'sau svayam evābhigacchati/ yo vidhātā ca dhātā ca sukṛte duskṛte yathā, trailokyaṁ vijitaṁ yena taṁ katham nu vijeşyati/ aparam kim nu krtvaivam vidhānam samvidhāsyati, kautūhalasamutpanno yāsyāmi yamasādanam/

Thus having firmly established his supremacy of bhuloka, Ravanasura while proceeding to swarga loka, had stumbled upon Brahmarshi Narada as the latter addressed Ravana conveying his hearty congratulations about the series of victories on the earth. Narada provoked Ravana thus: 'Yet, you appear to have been contented with the normal victories. Just as Vishnu was satisfied in controllinga daitya, gandharvanagas you too seem to be contented. Listen to me carefully: *kim ayam yadhyate lokas tyayāyadhyena*

daivataih, hata eva hy ayam loko yadā mrtyuvaśam gatah/ paśya tāvan mahābāho rāksaseśvara mānuṣam, lokam enam vicitrārtham yasya na jñāyate gatih/ 'Dear Rakshasa Raja! You are only concentrating on bhuloka nivaasis so far as you seem to be hesitating to contol devatas.kva cid vāditranṛttāni sevyante muditair janaiḥ, rudyate cāparair ārtair dhārāśrunayanānanaiḥ/ mātā pitṛsuta snehair bhārvā bandhumanoramaih, mohenāvam jano dhvastah kleśam svam nāvabudhvate/ tat kim evam parikliśya lokam mohanirākṛtam, jita eva tvayā saumya martyaloko na samśayaḥ/ These human beings keep themselves happy and contented with occasional mortal rejoicings of music-dance sessions, not even being able to vizualise what could be 'swarga vaancchas' like. They keep absorbed in the thoughts of 'maata-pita-putra- bhrata-bandhu- snehas' only . Such kind of 'mohagrasta kleshaas pranis' are finally destined from martya loka to Yama loka under the supreme and never challengeable Yama Raja!'. Ravana having indirectly got the hint of Brahmarshi, the highly intelligent Ravana smiled and replied: maharse devagandharvavihāra samarapriya, aham khalūdyato gantum vijayārthī rasātalam/ tato lokatrayam jitvā sthāpya nāgān surān vaśe, samudram amṛtārtham vai mathisyāmi rasālayam/ Maharshi! You are a globe trotter including deva gandharvaadi lokas. I do appeaciate you as a 'kalaha priya' always thinking of 'yuddhhaalochanaas'. I am prepared to visit 'rasaatala'. Then having conquered 'trilokas' and checking Devata-naagas under my control, I should be able to organise 'samudra manthana' and secure amrita! athābravīd daśagrīvam nārado bhagavān rṣiḥ, kva khalv idānīm mārgeṇa tvayānena gamiṣyate/ ayam khalu sudurgamyah pitrrājñah puram prati, mārgo gacchati durdharso yamasyāmitrakarsana/ Brahmarshi Narada then cleverly stated: 'Shatrusudana Lankeshwara! Then if you are truly desirous of reaching Rasatala then your path is clearly distinct as this journey is obviously southward where Yama Raja has his control! sa tu śāradameghābham muktvā hāsam daśānanah, uvāca krtam itv eva vacanam cedam abravīt/ tasmād eşa mahābrahman vaivasvatavadhodyataḥ, gacchāmi dakṣiṇām āśām yatra sūryātmajo nṛpaḥ/mayā hi bhagavan krodhāt pratijñātam raṇārthinā, avajeṣyāmi caturo lokapālān iti prabho/ tenaisa prasthito 'ham vai pitṛrājapuram prati, prānisamkleśa -kartāram vojayisyāmi mṛtyunā/ As Narada gave the direction to Rasatala, Ravana's face was lit up like 'sharad ritu meghas' and being happy with excitement addressed Devarshi Narada and further asserted: 'Brahman Narada! I am truly excited that I should appear at rasatala and the yama loka where Surya Putra Yama Raja shoud stay. Narada Prabho! I do now wish to make my 'dharma pratigina' that besides Yama Raja the rest of the Loka Paalakas too should be vanquished. For the time being I am resolved that Yama the' praana ghata Surya putra' should soon be a 'praana viheena' himself!' Thus declaring Ravana along with his mantris and rakshasa sena proceeded southward. nāradas tu mahātejā muhūrtam dhyānam āsthitah, cintayām āsa viprendro vidhūma iva pāvakah/ yena lokās trayah sendrāh kliśyante sacarācarāh, ksīne cāyusi dharme ca sa kālo himsyate katham/ yasya nityam trayo lokā vidravanti bhayārditāh, tam katham rāksasendro 'sau svayam evābhigacchati/ As Ravana thus having left, Brahmarshi Narada wondered within himself: Yama Raja who always declares himself as 'ayuh ksheena pranis' of trilokas would have to obey his knifelike decisiveness as Kaala Swarupa could bear the brunt of Ravana with his Brahma Varaas of invincibility even by celestial entities! Indeed Yama dharmaraja decides on the evidence of his celestial vision of what all of the triloka praanis, inclusive of the mortals, perfom as per their own 'karma phalas' on the supreme principle of 'as one sows so is reaped'. But now in the outstanding example of Rayana with all the support of Brahma Varaas, how indeed would be the outcome of the illustration of Ravana!' So wondering about 'Yama-Rayana samasya parikshana kutuhala Narada' had himself followed suit to Rasatala.

[Vishleshana on Narada in brief:Brahmarshi Narada is replete with references in Hindu Mythology; he is described in various Puranas as an *agent provocateur* in a dharmic way to mislead purposively the evil doer towards a rosy path and at the end either teach, correct and reform or totally destroy the evil at its termination. Thus Narada is a legendary bridge between excessive arrogance and selfishness on the one hand and a virtuous way of exemplary life on the other! In the normal parlour, the image of Narada reminds one of a singning bard carrying a musical string instrument named 'veena' in his arms, decorated with jasmine flowers on his wrists, neck, shoulders and head hairs, while jay walking on clouds as a 'trailoka sanchari' in the sky from one part of the Universe to another as a globe trotter. He is the Sage

who anticipates with his uncanny foresight and seeks to avert impending dangers and more often than nought prevent even by creating and hastening critical situations to teach lessons to the wrong doers, thus save embarrassments and negative situations to the hapless; he does not spare any body, -be it human beings or even Gods - barring the Adi Deva Narayana, whose name is at the tip of his tongue every moment and by each and every utrerance by his breath! Indeed he is the Celestial Messenger of Peace and Universal Togetherness. No wonder Narada is a synonym of Kalaha priya or mischief monger but he is a unique fund of knowledge, robust commonsense and uncanny wit and wisdom that shapes destinies of Beings in the Supreme Lord's Creation!In Hindu Mythlogy, Brahmarshi Narada occupies a pride of place. In Puranas one could find innumerable references about his multi-magnificent personality for his knowledge, tact, wit, profound common sense and timely interventions where ever tough situations arise and ready solutions, sometimes even unpalatable, are offered. But all kinds of puzzles are untied by him most eminently in the glorious frame-work of Dharma and Nyaya. The finesse of Narada's way out even in tough situations is attracted by the most ruthless evil practitioners of very high intensity. Could a Ravanasura but yield to the temptation of bringing Maha Deva's Atma Linga home in his Puja Mandir! Would Kamsa the unquestionable tyrant of Mathura be made to believe years ahead with a warning signal that a child even yet to be born as Krishna would ensure his death! Should a gullible boy Dhruva be emboldened to leave a Kingdom to forests in search of Narayana! Might a Devi Savitri have the courage to run after Yama Raja on a firm prophesy of untimely death of her husband and made Yama's own position compromising! Was Devi Satyabhama the zealous and beloved spouse of Lord Krishna as smitten by jealousy of Devi Rukmini was able to hatch a plan to weigh Krishna's body weight against the Kingdom's gold and jewellery in a sensitive balance and turn Krishna as Narada's slave, but for Devi Rukmini's intervention to place a Tulasi Leaf against the gold reserves! Was indeed Devi Satyabhama who longed for Parijata Tree from Swarga in her backyard helped Indra to terminate Narakasura in Krishna's company and be responsible for entire Bharata to observe 'Deepavali' year after year till date!Such intelligent quotient coupled with eloquent knowledge is but a rudimentary component of Narada's renown! He defied no less than a Brahma whose instruction was to become a house holder to procreate progeny while he stood his ground firmly being ready for punishment to become a house holder again and again. This was backed up by his faith, devotion and total surrender to Narayana!]

Sarga Twenty One

As provoked by Narada, Ravana visited Yamaloka, released select pretaatmaas, Yama Dootas attacked the pushpaka vimana damaging it, and Ravana by his paashupataasra destroyed Yama dootaas!

Evam samcintya viprendro jagāma laghuvikramah, ākhyātum tad yathāvṛttam yamasya sadanam prati/ apaśyat sa yamam tatra devam agnipuraskṛtam, vidhānam upatiṣṭhantam prāṇino yasya yādrśam/ sa tu dṛṣṭvā yamaḥ prāptam maharṣim tatra nāradam, abravīt sukham āsīnam arghyam āvedya dharmataḥ/ kaccit ksemam nu devarse kaccid dharmo na naśvati, kim āgamanakrtvam te devagandharvasevita/ abravīt tu tadā vākvam nārado bhagavān rsih, śrūvatām abhidhāsvāmi vidhānam ca vidhīvatām/ esa nāmnā daśagrīvaḥ pitṛrāja niśācaraḥ, upayāti vaśam netum vikramais tvām sudurjayam/ etena kāranenāham tvarito 'smy āgatah prabho, dandapraharanasyādya tava kim nu karisyati/ etasminn antare dūrād amsumantam ivoditam, dadrse divyam āyāntam vimānam tasya raksasah/ tam desam prabhayā tasya puspakasya mahābalah, kṛtvā vitimiram sarvam samīpam samavartata/ sa tv apaśyan mahābāhur daśagrīvas tatas tatah, prāṇinah sukṛtam karma bhuñjānām's caiva duṣkṛtam/ tatas tān vadhyamānāms tu karmabhir duşkrtaih svakaih, rāvano mocayām āsa vikramena balād balī/ preteşu mucyamāneşu rākṣasena balīyasā, pretagopāḥ susamrabdhā rākṣasendram abhidravan/ te prāsaih parighaiḥ śūlair mudgaraiḥ śaktitomaraiḥ, puṣpakam samavarṣanta śūrāḥ śatasahasraśah/ tasvāsanāni prāsādān vedikāstaraṇāni ca, puṣpakasya babhañjus te śīghram madhukarā iva/ devanisthānabhūtam tad vimānam puspakam mrdhe, bhajyamānam tathajvāsīd aksayam brahmatejasā/ tatas te rāvanāmātyā yathākāmam yathābalam, ayudhyanta mahāvīryāḥ sa ca rājā daśānanaḥ/ te tu śonitadigdhāṅgāḥ sarvaśastra samāhatāh, amātyā rāksasendrasya cakrur āyodhanam mahat/ anyonyam ca mahābhāgā jaghnuh

praharaṇair yudhi, yamasya ca mahat sainyam rākṣasasya ca mantriṇaḥ/ amātyāms tāms tu samtyajya rākṣasasya mahaujasaḥ, tam eva samadhāvanta śūlavarṣair daśānanam/ tataḥ śoṇitadigdhāṅgaḥ prahārair jarjarīkṛtaḥ, vimāne rākṣasaśreṣṭhaḥ phullāśoka ivābabhau/ sa śūlāni gadāḥ prāsāñ śaktitomarasāyakān, musalāni śilāvṛkṣān mumocāstrabalād balī/ tāms tu sarvān samākṣipya tad astram apahatya ca, jaghnus te rākṣasam ghoram ekam śatasahasrakaḥ/ parivārya ca tam sarve śailam meghotkarā iva, bhindipālaiś ca śūlaiś ca nirucchvāsam akārayan/ vimuktakavacaḥ kruddho siktaḥ śoṇitavisravaiḥ, sa puṣpakam parityajya pṛthivyām avatiṣṭhata/ tataḥ sa kārmukī bāṇī pṛthivyām rākṣasādhipaḥ, labdhasamjño muhūrtena kruddhas tasthau yathāntakaḥ/ tataḥ pāśupatam divyam astram samdhāya kārmuke, tiṣṭha tiṣṭheti tān uktvā tac cāpam vyapakarṣata/ jvālāmālī sa tu śaraḥ kravyādānugato raṇe, mukto gulmān drumāmś caiva bhasmakṛtvā pradhāvati/ te tasya tejasā dagdhāḥ sainyā vaivasvatasya tu, raṇe tasmin nipatitā dāvadagdhā nagā iva/ tataḥ sa sacivaiḥ sārdham rākṣaso bhīmavikramaḥ, nanāda sumahānādam kampayann iva medinīm/

Agastya Maha Muni continued addressing Shri Rama that pursuant to Brahmamarshi Narada's advice, Ravanaasura had left for Yama Loka to conquer Yama Deva himself. Yama Dharma Raja was then seated on a 'simhasana' as an alternate form of Agni Himself conducting the arriving Souls from various Beings, essentially from earth. Brahmarshi Narada on his arrival Yama Raja addressed him: 'Deva Gandharva sevita Devarshi! Welcome to you. Trust that dharma and the related affairs are all being preserved well! How is it that I now have the 'soubhagya' of your kind arrival here! Then Narada replied: 'Pitru Raja! I have arrived here on an urgent issue and am also suggesting the manner of its prateekaara or the way of its reversal too. This problem is arriving soon in the form of Dashagriva Ravana and his rakshasa sena too and being aware of it, I have arrived here earlier. Indeed you are the possessor of 'kaala dandaayudha' no doubt!' Even as Narada was about to brief, Ravana's pushpaka vimana was just sighted. Ravana saw Yama Raja and yama dootas from far. Ravana also witnessed how countless Yamaanucharaas in action. Despite the total darkness all around, he was able to see how various Pranis were divisioned in lanes s per their own karma phalas of punya paapaas. The Ravana witnessed Yama Dotaas and the 'yama yaatana drishyas' too. 'Ghora rupadhari -ugra prakriti bhayanaka yama dootaas' were reprimanding and executing the beatings of the Pranis as they were screaming aloud incessantly and helplessly. Some were being bitten by scorpions, snakes and other poisonous creatures, some were chased and caught by mad dogs eating their body parts which were getting back again and again. Some were not able to wade through the ferocious floods of blistering blood of Vaitarani river while some were made to walk barefooted through agni jwaalaas or unending hot burnt charcoal fields. Some were thrown ferociously into 'asipatra forests' with razor this thorns and nails and forced to walk through for prescribed days, months or years. Some were thown into Rourava Naraka. Numberless pranis get exhausted out of thirst and hunger as the deena-durbala-anga viheena pranis were thus undergoing what one would express as 'Naraka Yaatana' on its naked sense.!

[Vishleshana on Narakas and possibility of retribution from a) Brahma Purana and b) Parashara Smriti

a) Narakas are: Rourava, Shoukara, Rodha, Taana, Vishasana, Mahajjwaala, Tapta kumbha, Mahalobha, Vimohana, Rutiraandha, Vasaatapta, Kurmeesha, Krumibhojana, Asipatravana, Laalaabhaksdhya, Puyavbaha, Vahnijjwala, Adhahshira, Samdamsha, Krishna sutra, tama, Swabhojana, Apratishta, Avichi and so on. All these are under the control of Yama Dharna Raja and these hells are highly frightening as they administer sharp weapons, fire and poison and send shivers in the veins of the targeted sinners. Providing false evidences, speaking with partiality and blatant lies are liable to reach Rourava Naraka. Bhruna Hatya (killing an unborn child while in Garbha), Guru Hatya (killing one's own Preacher), killing a cow and terminating a person by obstructing breathing would attract 'Ghora Rourava Naraka'; drunkards, Brahma hatya, stealing gold, and keeping company of such sinners are consigned to Shoukara Naraka. Murdering Kshatriyas and Vyashyas, and killing Rajaduta or Messenger of royalty would attract Tapta kumbha Naraka; selling contraband like hot drinks and intoxicants and deserting ones' own followers would consign the sinners to Saptaloha Naraka. A person who insults or uses harsh language

the Guru or Gurujana, insulting and criticizing Vedas, or selling Vedas and Scriptures, enticing and taking advantage of destitutes, the helpless or the mentally unsound are banished to Shabala Naraka; thieves and those who perform character-assassination of others are destined to Vimoha Naraka; those who display dislike to Devas, Brahmanas and parents are directed to Kumbhibhakshya Naraka; Persons who consume food even before Naivedya to Devas, Pitras and Guests are shunted to Lalabhakshya; those who manufacture arrows and devices to kill are destined to Vedha Naraka, while who produce Khadgas and Ayudhas (swords and weaponry) are sent away to Vishaana; Brahmanas who accept daanaas in connection with evil-oriented tasks, say to appease 'Kshudra Devatas' or those who encourage ineligible persons to perform and those who make a profession of misleading astrology to cheat gullible persons go straight to Adhomukha Naraka. Brahmanas by birth practice dealing in the trade of meat, lac, 'til' or black sesame seed, salt and intoxicants are sent to Krumipuya; also those Brahmanas in the trade of cats, chicken, goats, dogs, birds and pigs are banished to the same Krumipuya naraka. Such Brahmanas who are in the profession of theater / acting / drama / dance; boating; eat the food of fallen women; carriers of contraband material, accept bribes; maintain cows, buffalos and similar animals to eke livelihood; go to bed with wives especially on Sacred days; put other's houses on fire and involve in the murders of friends are all diverted to Rudhirandha Naraka. Those human beings who resort to the murder of brothers are thrown into Vaitarini River.

b) In case, prayaschittas are not already executed in one's life time in lieu of Maha Patakas and Upa patakas perpetrated on earth in the previous birth, the accumulated sins of dreadful nature would entail much more severe penalties and retributions. The retributions are on account of non-performance of 'Vihita Karmas' or prescribed duties and perpetrating 'nishiddha karmas' or prohibited acts. For example, avoiding Garahana Snanas involves attacks of leprosy for seven births. Committing 'Brahma hatya paataka' and such grave sins and not resorting to prayaschitta would definitely lead to payback reprisal like being pushed down from mountains of high altitudes or being consigned to engulfing poisonous flames mercilessly. Persons who are normally susceptible to continous attacks by 'Arishad Vargas' viz. Kama-Krodha-Lobha-Moha- Mada-Matsaras viz. Deep desires, terrible anger, passionate possessiveness, excessive attachments, incorrigible arrogance and unpardonable jealousy; one's misdoings of serious nature are therefore sure to lead them to Ati Pataka, Maha Pataka, Anupataka Upa, Paataka, Upa pataka, Jaati bhramsha types of retributions as also Sankarikarana, Apaatri karana, Malaavaha, and so on. Matru -Putrika-Swashru-Sunsha gamana are considered as Atipatakas and Brahma Hatya-Suraapaaa-Brahmana Dhana harana- steya or stealing-guru bharya gamana are Maha patakas. Rajaswala-Garbhini-Asphuta baala gamana and Sharanaagata Shatru vadha are as dreadful as Brahma hatya; providing wrong or misleading evidences and murder of friends are as heinous as Suraa Paana; Para daaraa gamana especially with closely related women is stated to be as appalling as Guru Bharya gamana; 'Sharanaagata stree gamana' is stated as Anupataka or as deplorable as Maha Pataka. Go Vadha, Para Stree vikraya, Matru/Pitru dushana and bahishkarana, Brahmana Vidhi parityajana, Vrata parityaga, Kanya dushana and nastikyata are of the rank of Upapaata dosha. Para ninda, Madyaadi vikraya, Neecha sahayaasa and such other traits demand Jaati bhramsha. Pashu samhara and Heena vritti demand sankarikarana. Asatya sambhaashana, nishkarana nindaaropana, kriki keeta pakshi jalachara vadha are considered as Malaa vaha; heena jaati seva, nindita dhanaarjana and such acts of depravity including Urbandhana maranas or forced deaths and anti-social activities are called prakeerna-avikeerna paapas. Among the Atipatakas are listed Matru-Putrika-Sahodari gamana or with such other blood relations both knowingly or ignorantly, the Prayaschitta is Shishna-chedana and three Kruccha prayaschitta and three chandrayana vratas.Para stree gamana demands a series of Chandrayana Vratas like Rishi Chandrayana-eating three fistful havishaanna a day for a month]

Further stanzas follow

Gorasam godradaataaro hyaannamchaivaannadaayinah, grihaamscha griha daataarah sarvakarmaphalamastratah/ Ravana also witnessed that quite apart from the majority of sinful beings,

there were also a few sprinklings of the departed pranis who treaded dharma maargas as having executed godaanaadi sukritas, anna daanaas, and such philanthropic acts. Then Ravana on by his own descretion freed such marginal sinners thus arrogating himself of his own responsibility. Temporarily such sinners who were freed by Ravana were understandably were elated, while the Yama dootaas whose responsibilty devolved on Preta raksha were fumed up and there prevailed utter confusion as rakshasaas and yama dootaas were encountered.sa śūlāni gadāḥ prāsāñ śaktitomarasāyakān, musalāni śilāvṛkṣān mumocāstra -balād balī/ tāms tu sarvān samākṣipya tad astram apahatya ca, jaghnus te rākṣasam ghoram ekam śatasahasrakah/ parivārva ca tam sarve śailam meghotkarā iva, bhindipālaiś ca śūlaiś ca nirucchvāsam akārayan/Yama dootaas in thousands of yamadootas ascended the pushpaka vimana and attached rakshasas with 'parigha-praasa-shula-musala-shatki- tomaras' and destroyed the chairs, windows, doors, vedis, praasaadaas, and the pathways. As Yama dootas went berserk, the ministers of Ravana with their rakshasa sena and he himself fought relenetlessly. vimuktakavacah kruddho siktah śonitavisravaih, sa puspakam parityajya pṛthivyām avatisthata/ tataḥ sa kārmukī bānī pṛthivyām rākṣasādhipaḥ, labdhasamjño muhūrtena kruddhas tasthau vathāntakah/ Then Ravana's 'kavacha' was broken out and his body was wet with flows of blood as he fell off from the pushpaka vimana. For a while, Rayana too got nervous but soon enough he steadied himself and held up his bow and arrows. tatah pāśupatam divyam astram samdhāya kārmuke, tiṣṭha tiṣṭheti tān uktvā tac cāpam vyapakarṣata/ jvālāmālī sa tu śarah kravyādānugato rane, mukto gulmān drumāmś caiva bhasmakṛtvā pradhāvati/ He then released the most potent Paashupata- astra. On the battle front, the divyaastra assumed the form of agnijvaalaas as of dried up grass in a 'maharanya' and the furious flames converted yama dootaas like heaps of ash. te tasya tejasā dagdhāḥ sainyā vaivasvatasya tu, raņe tasmin nipatitā dāvadagdhā nagā iva/ tataḥ sa sacivaiḥ sārdham rākṣaso bhīmavikramaḥ, nanāda sumahānādam kampayann iva medinīm/ Thus in the maha samgrama of Ravana and the rakshasaas, the Yama Raja's 'Indradhwaja' like banner fell down smashed up, as Ramana and the mantri senas raised bhayanaka simha naadaas as the severemost earthquakes occurred repetitively.

Sarga Twenty Two

As per Narada's mischievous advice, Ravana attached Yama Raja who desired to release Kaala Danda, but Brahma disapproved and thus Ravana declared victory against all Devas including Yama

Sa tu tasya mahānādam śrutvā vaivasvato yamaḥ, śatrum vijayinam mene svabalasya ca samkṣayam/ sa tu yodhān hatān matvā krodhaparyākuleksanah, abravīt tvaritam sūtam rathah samupanīyatām/ tasya sūto ratham divyam upasthāpya mahāsvanam, sthitah sa ca mahātejā āruroha mahāratham/ pāśamudgarahastaś ca mṛtyus tasyāgrato sthitaḥ, yena samkṣipyate sarvam trailokyam sacarācaram/ kāladandas ca pārsvastho mūrtimān syandane sthitah, yamapraharanam divyam prajvalann iva tejasā/ tato lokās trayas trastāḥ kampante ca divaukasaḥ, kālam kruddham tadā dṛṣṭvā lokatrayabhayāvaham/ drstvā tu te tam vikrtam ratham mrtyusamanvitam, sacivā rāksasendrasva sarvalokabhavāvaham/ laghusattvatavā sarve nastasamijā bhavārditāh, nātra voddhum samarthāh sma itv uktvā vipradudruvuh/ sa tu tam tādrsam drstvā ratham lokabhayāvaham, nāksubhyata tadā rakso vyathā caivāsya nābhavat/ sa tu rāvanam āsādya visrjañ śaktitomarān, yamo marmāni samkruddho rāksasasya nyakṛntata/ rāvanas tu sthitah svasthah saravarsam mumoca ha, tasmin vaivasvatarathe toyavarsam ivāmbudah/ tato mahāśaktiśataih pātyamānair mahorasi, pratikartum sa nāśaknod rāksasah śalyapīditah/ nānāpraharaṇair evam yamenāmitrakarśinā, saptarātram kṛte samkhye na bhagno vijito 'pi vā/ tato 'bhavat punar yuddham yamarākṣasayos tadā, vijayākānkṣinos tatra samareṣv anivartinoḥ/ tato devāḥ sagandharvāḥ siddhāś ca paramarṣayaḥ, prajāpatim puraskṛtya dadṛśus tad raṇājiram/ samvarta iva lokānām abhavad yudhyatos tayoh, rākṣasānām ca mukhyasya pretānām īśvarasya ca/ rākṣasendras tatah kruddhas cāpam āyamya samyuge, nirantaram ivākāsam kurvan bānān mumoca ha/mṛtyum caturbhir viśikhaih sūtam saptabhir ardayat, yamam śarasahasrena śīghram marmasv atādayat/ tatah kruddhasya sahasā yamasyābhivinihsṛtaḥ, jvālāmālo viniśvāso vadanāt krodhapāvaka/ tato 'paśyams tadāścaryam devadānavarāksasāh, krodhajam pāvakam dīptam didhaksantam ripor balam/mrtyus tu

paramakruddho vaivasvatam athābravīt, muñca mām deva śīghram tvam nihanmi samare ripum/ narakah śambaro vrtrah śambhuh kārtasvaro balī, namucir virocanaś caiva tāv ubhau madhukaitabhau/ ete cānye ca bahavo balavanto durāsadāh, vinipannā mayā drstāh kā cintāsmin niśācare/ muñca mām sādhu dharmajña yāvad enam nihanmy aham, na hi kaś cin mayā dṛṣṭo muhūrtam api jīvati/ balam mama na khalv etan marvādaisā nisargatah, samsprsto hi mavā kaś cin na jīved iti niścavah/ etat tu vacanam śrutvā dharmarājah pratāpavān, abravīt tatra tam mṛtyumayam enam nihanmy aham/ tatah samraktanayanah kruddho vaivasvatah prabhuh, kāladandam amogham tam tolayām āsa pāṇinā/ yasya pārśveşu niśchidrāḥ kālapāśāḥ pratiṣṭhitāḥ, pāvakasparśasamkāśo mudgaro mūrtimān sthitaḥ/ darśanād eva yah prānān prāninām uparūdhyati, kim punas tādanād vāpi pīdanād vāpi dehinah/ sa jvālāparivāras tu pibann iva niśācaram, karaspṛsto balavatā dandah kruddhah sudārunah/ tato vidudruvuh sarve sattvās tasmād ranājirāt, surāś ca ksubhitā dṛstvā kāladandodyatam yamam/ tasmin prahartukāme tu dandam udyamya rāvanam, yamam pitāmahah sāksād darśayitvedam abravīt/vaivasvata mahābāho na khalv atulavikrama, prahartavyam tvayaitena dandenāsmin niśācare/ varah khalu mayā dattas tasya tridaśapumgaya, tat tyayā nānrtam kāryam yan mayā yyāhrtam yacah/ amogho hy esa saryāsām prajānām vinipātane, kāladando mavā srstah pūrvam mrtyupuraskrtah/ tan na khalv esa te saumva pātvo rākṣasamūrdhani, na hy asmin patite kaś cin muhūrtam api jīvati/ yadi hy asmin nipatite na mriyetaiṣa rākṣasaḥ, mriyeta vā daśagrīvas tathāpy ubhayato 'nṛtam/ rākṣasendrān niyacchādya daṇḍam enam vadhodyatam, satyam mama kurusvedam lokāms tvam samaveksya ca/ evam uktas tu dharmātmā pratyuvāca yamas tadā, esa vyāvartito dandah prabhavisnur bhavān hi nah/ kim tv idānīm mayā śakyam kartum ranagatena hi, yan mayā yan na hantavyo rākṣaso varadarpitah/ eṣa tasmāt pranaśyāmi darśanād asva raksasah, itv uktvā sarathah sāśvas tatraivāntaradhīvata/ daśagrīvas tu tam jitvā nāma viśrāvya cātmanah, puspakena tu samhṛṣṭo niṣkrānto yamasādanāt/ tato vaivasvato devaih saha brahmapurogamaih, jagāma tridivam hrsto nāradas ca mahāmunih/

Yamadharma Raja having realised that the yama dootaas were ashed off by Ravana's 'pashupataastra', called for his chariot along with his 'kaala danda' which was already got ignited. Kala danda then asumed a 'swarupa' whose 'mahaayudha' that emitted pralaya kaalaagni. tato lokās trayas trastāḥ kampante ca diyaukasah, kālam kruddham tadā drstvā lokatrayabhayāyaham/ drstvā tu te tam vikrtam ratham mrtvusamanvitam, sacivā rāksasendrasva sarvalokabhavāvaham/ laghusattvatavā sarve nastasamiñā bhayārditāḥ, nātra yoddhum samarthāḥ sma ity uktvā vipradudruvuḥ/ Loka trayas of bhu-bhuva-swaras would shiver as saakshaat Kala Deva would get enraged as Devatas stood up alarmed shivering. sa tu tam tādrśam drstvā ratham lokabhayāvaham, nāksubhyata tadā rakso vyathā caivāsya nābhavat/ sa tu rāvanam āsādya visrjañ śaktitomarān, yamo marmāni samkruddho rāksasasya nyakrntata/ rāvanas tu sthitah svasthah saravarsam mumoca ha, tasmin vaivasvatarathe toyavarsam ivāmbudah/ tato mahāśaktiśataiḥ pātyamānair mahorasi, pratikartum sa nāśaknod rākṣasaḥ śalyapīḍitaḥ/ Yet even the 'chaturdasa bhuvanas' were shaken up with Kala Devata being personified and fumed up as Yama Raja's chariot had arrived, Ravana was the least concerned even as the Rakshasa Mantris were alarmed too. As Yama Raja arrived, he lashed out Rayana with his shakti-tomara aayudhas at the marma sthaanaas of Rayana. Yet Rayana was nodoubt hurt but having recovered released baana varshsas on Yama Raja. Subsequently, Yama had some how failed to retaliate appropriately. nānāpraharaṇair evam vamenāmitrakarśinā, saptarātram krte samkhye na bhagno vijito 'pi vā/ tato 'bhavat punar vuddham yamarāksasayos tadā, vijayākāṅksinos tatra samaresv anivartinoh/ tato devāh sagandharvāh siddhāś ca paramarsayah, prajāpatim puraskṛtya dadrśus tad ranājiram/ samvarta iva lokānām abhavad yudhyatos tayoh, rākṣasānām ca mukhyasya pretānām īśvarasya ca/ Thus for seven long nights the battle remanied inconclusive. Both the Rakshasa Raja and Yama Raja were equally desirous of success which kept dodging the both. Meanwhile Deva-gandharva-siddha-maharshi ganaas pushed Prajapati ahead and joined the attack. But the Rakshasa Raja and the Preta Raja kept on and on the maha sangrama as if the maha pralaya kaala had arrived. mrtyum caturbhir viśikhaih sūtam saptabhir ardayat, yamam śarasahasrena śīghram marmasv atādayat/ tatah kruddhasya sahasā yamasyābhivinihsṛtah, jvālāmālo viniśvāso vadanāt krodhapāvaka/Therafter Rakshasaraja having lost patience, released arrows on Mrityu Devata and seven arrows on Yama's saradhi. Quickly again, Rayana released as many as a lakh of arrows on the 'marma

shtaanas' of Yama. Yama was agitated initially but was so enraged that his face emitted agni jwaalaas as his pace of his breathing was the fastest ever. mṛtyus tu paramakruddho vaivasvatam athābravīt, muñca mām deva śīghram tvam nihanmi samare ripum/ narakah śambaro vṛtrah śambhuh kārtasvaro balī, namucir virocanaś caiva tāv ubhau madhukaiṭabhau/ ete cānye ca bahavo balavanto durāsadāḥ, vinipannā mayā drstāh kā cintāsmin niśācare/ muñca mām sādhu dharmajña yāyad enam nihanmy aham, na hi kaś cin mayā drsto muhūrtam api jīvati/ Then Mrityu Devata assumed the most ferocious swarupa as never before and demanded Vaivasvata Yama not to interfere further as indeed that ought to kill Ravana instantly. The Devata asserted: Yama Raja! This is my 'swabhava' or the natrual mind set and this Rakshasa too should go by the earlier instances of Hiranyakashipu, Namuchi, Shambara Nisinda, Dhumaketu Virochana Kumara Bali, Shambu daitya, Vritraasura , Banaasura and why not Ravana now!Dharmagina! Hence leave me alone as Ravana should die here and now.balam mama na khalv etan maryādaisā nisargatah, samspṛsto hi mayā kaś cin na jīved iti niścayah/ etat tu vacanam śrutvā dharmarājah pratāpavān, abravīt tatra tam mṛtyumayam enam nihanmy aham/In my confirmed decisiveness, Ravana should die now, since the considerations of evil mindset and the lack of natural tendency of 'maryaada' are adequate to destroy him. Then Yama Raja was so angry as he raised his voice and asserted to kala danda: wait, let me lift you up so that with one smash the nishachara would be gone forever. tasmin prahartukāme tu daņdam udyamya rāvaņam, yamam pitāmahaḥ sākṣād darśayitvedam abravīt/vaivasvata mahābāho na khalv atulavikrama, prahartavyam tvayaitena dandenāsmin niśācare/As Vaivasvata was about to kill Ravana, Pitamaha Brahma appeared and stated: Vaivasata! Do'nt kill Ravana! varaḥ khalu mayā dattas tasya tridaśapumgava, tat tvayā nānṛtam kāryam yan mayā vyāhṛtam vacaḥ/ amogho hy eṣa sarvāsām prajānām vinipātane, kāladaṇḍo mayā sṛṣṭaḥ pūrvam mṛtyupuraskṛtaḥ/ tan na khalv eşa te saumya pātyo rākṣasamūrdhani, na hy asmin patite kaś cin muhūrtam api jīvati/ yadi hy asmin nipatite na mriyetaisa rāksasah, mriyeta vā daśagrīvas tathāpy ubhayato 'nrtam/ Yama Raja! I had already bestowed a boon to Ravana to be invincible against Devas; some how, at that weak moment I had granted that boon to Rayana, but now you should not infringe that by killing Rayana and have me untruthful. Once any Devata or a human would prove me that am being untruthful, then surely he or she should be blameworthy of me. This 'Kala danda' is of a 'bhayankara rudra swarupa'. Once released by you, it would never consider the positive and negative considerations, but terminate in devastation. I myself invented this and once flung off, it becomes irreversible and irresistible. Therefore, do not use it on Ravana in any case. In such an ugly situation, my word of honour would be dishonoured. evam uktas tu dharmātmā pratyuvāca yamas tadā, esa vyāvartito dandah prabhavisnur bhavān hi nah/ kim tv idānīm mayā śakyam kartum ranagatena hi, yan mayā yan na hantavyo rāksaso varadarpitah/ As Brahma warned Yama Raja thus he had kept up the honour of Brahma Deva and affirmed that he could never disobey Brahama's considered instruction. Then felt as to which avail in confronting Rayana any way and disppeared with his chariot and horses. daśagrīvas tu tam jitvā nāma viśrāvya cātmanah, puspakeņa tu samhrsto nişkrānto yamasādanāt/ tato vaivasvato devaih saha brahmapurogamaih, jagāma tridivam hṛṣṭo nāradaś ca mahāmunih/ Thus Ravana pronouced his victory against Yama Dootas and Yama Dharma Raja himself and flew back by his illgotten Pushpaka while Vaivasvata and Brahma Putra Narada left for swarga loka.

Sarga Twenty Three

Ravana visits Rasatala Loka, forges friendship with Nivatakavacha- destroys Kalakeya Daitya who killed Shurpanakha's husband-and attacks Varuna Putras, as Varuna visited Brahma Loka for a 'Sangita Sabha'!

Sa tu jitvā daśagrīvo yamam tridaśapumgavam, rāvaṇas tu jayaślāghī svasahāyān dadarśa ha/ jayena vardhayitvā ca mārīcapramukhās tataḥ, puṣpakam bhejire sarve sāntvitā ravaṇena ha/ tato rasātalam hṛṣṭaḥ praviṣṭaḥ payaso nidhim, daityoraga gaṇādhyuṣṭam varuṇena surakṣitam/ sa tu bhogavatīm gatvā purīm vāsukipālitām, sthāpya nāgān vaśe kṛtvā yayau maṇimatīm purīm/ nivātakavacās tatra daityā labdhavarā vasan, rākṣasas tān samāsādya yuddhena samupāhvayat/ te tu sarve suvikrāntā daiteyā balaśālinaḥ, nānāpraharaṇās tatra prayuddhā yuddhadurmadāḥ/ teṣām tu yudhyamānānām sāgraḥ

samvatsaro gatah, na cānyatarayos tatra vijayo vā ksayo 'pi vā/ tatah pitāmahas tatra trailokyagatir avyayah, ājagāma drutam devo vimānavaram āsthitah/ nivātakavacānām tu nivārya ranakarma tat, vrddhah pitāmaho vākyam uvāca viditārthavat/ na hy ayam rāvano yuddhe śakyo jetum surāsuraih, na bhavantaḥ kṣayam netum śakyāḥ sendraiḥ surāsuraiḥ/ rākṣasasya sakhitvam vai bhavadbhiḥ saha rocate, avibhaktā hi sarvārthāh suhrdām nātra samśayah/ tato 'gnisāksikam sakhyam krtavāms tatra rāvanah, nivātakavacaih sārdham prītimān abhavat tadā/ arcitas tair yathānyāyam samvatsarasukhositah, svapurān nirviśeṣam ca pūjām prāpto daśānanah/ sa tūpadhārya māyānām śatam ekonam ātmavān, salilendrapurānvesī sa babhrāma rasātalam/ tato 'smanagaram nāma kālakevābhiraksitam, tam vijitva muhūrtena jaghne daityāms catuhsatam/ tatah pāndurameghābham kailāsam iva samsthitam, varunasyālayam divyam apaśyad rāksasādhipah/ ksarantīm ca payo nityam surabhim gām avasthitām, yasyāh payovinisyandāt ksīrodo nāma sāgarah/ yasmāc candrah prabhavati śītaraśmih prajāhitah, yam samāsādya jīvanti phenapāh paramarsayah, amrtam yatra cotpannam surā cāpi surāśinām/ yām bruvanti narā loke surabhim nāma nāmataḥ, pradakṣiṇam tu tām kṛtvā rāvaṇah paramādbhutām, praviveša mahāghoram guptam bahuvidhair balaih/ tato dhārāšatākīrṇam śāradābhranibham tadā, nityaprahrstam dadrśe varunasya grhottamam∕ tato hatyā balādhyaksān samare taiś ca tāditaḥ, abravīt kva gato yo vo rājā śīghram nivedyatām/ yuddhārthī rāvaṇaḥ prāptas tasya yuddham pradīyatām, vada vā na bhayam te 'sti nirjito 'smīti sāñjaliḥ/ etasminn antare kruddhā varunasya mahātmanah, putrāh pautrāś ca niskrāman gauś ca puskara eva ca/ te tu vīryagunopetā balaih parivṛtāh svakaih, yuktvā rathān kāmagamān udyadbhāskaravarcasah/ tato yuddham samabhavad dāruṇam lomaharṣaṇam, salilendrasya putrāṇām rāvaṇasya ca rakṣasaḥ/ amātyais tu mahāvīryair daśagrīvasya rakṣasaḥ, vāruṇam tad balam kṛtsnam kṣaṇena vinipātitam/ samīkṣya svabalam samkhye varuņasyā sutās tadā, arditāh śarajālena nivṛttā raṇakarmaṇah/ mahītalagatās te tu rāvaṇam dṛśya puṣpake, ākāśam āśu viviśuḥ syandanaiḥ śīghragāmibhiḥ/ mahad āsīt tatas teṣām tulyam sthānam avāpya tat, ākāśayuddham tumulam devadānavayor iva/ tatas te rāvanam yuddhe śaraih pāvakasamnibhaih, vimukhīkṛtya samhṛstā vinedur vividhān ravān/ tato mahodarah kruddho rājānam dṛśya dharsitam, tyaktvā mṛtyubhayam vīro yuddhakānksī vyalokayat/ tena tesām hayā ye ca kāmagāh pavanopamāh, mahodarena gadayā hatās te prayayuḥ kṣitim/ teṣām varuṇasūnūnām hatvā yodhān hayām's ca tān, mumocāśu mahānādam virathān preksva tān sthitān/ te tu tesām rathāh sāśvāh saha sārathibhir varaih, mahodarena nihatāh patitāh prthivītale/ te tu tyaktyā rathān putrā varunasya mahātmanah, ākāśe viṣṭhitāḥ śūrāḥ svaprabhāvān na vivyathuḥ/ dhanūmṣi kṛtvā sajyāni vinirbhidya mahodaram, rāvaṇam samare kruddhāh sahitāh samabhidravan/ tatah kruddho daśagrīvah kālāgnir iva visthitah, śaravarsam mahāvegam tesām marmasv apātayat/ musalāni vicitrāni tato bhallasatāni ca, pattasāms caiva saktīs ca śataghnīs tomarāms tathā/ pātayām āsa durdharsas tesām upari visthitah, atha viddhās tu te vīrā vinispetuh padātayah/ tato rakso mahānādam muktvā hanti sma vārunān, nānāpraharanair ghorair dhārāpātair ivāmbudaḥ/ tatas te vimukhāḥ sarve patitā dharaṇītale, raṇāt svapuruṣaiḥ śīghram grhāṇy eva praveśitāh/ tān abravīt tato rakşo varunāya nivedyatām, rāvaņam cābravīn mantrī prabhāso nāma vāruṇaḥ/ gataḥ khalu mahātejā brahmalokam jaleśvaraḥ, gāndharvam varuṇaḥ śrotum yam tvam āhvavase vudhi/ tat kim tava vrthā vīra pariśrāmva gate nrpe, ve tu samnihitā vīrāh kumārās te parājitāh/ rāksasendras tu tac chrutvā nāma viśrāvya cātmanah, harsān nādam vimuñcan vai niskrānto varuṇālayāt/āgatas tu pathā yena tenaiva vinivṛtya saḥ, laṅkām abhimukho rakṣo nabhastalagato yayau/

Agastya Maha Muni continued about Ravana's further escapades and jaunts of victories and then wished to Rasatala full of daityas and naagaas and well managed by Varuna Deva underneath the samudras. Then he entered Bhogavati Puri, brought Nagas under his control and then left for Manimayi puri where a daitya named Nivatakavacha to whom Brahma bestowed boons. Ravana then challenged the daitya. Then Rakshasaas and danavas had the encounter, they exchaged quick exchange of shula- trishula-vajra-pattisha-khadga- pharasaas yet to the break of monsoon and excessive rains, no finality of the battle was established. Then Brahma Deva made his sacred darshan and asserted: 'Danavas! Neither Deva ganaas nor asuras had not and would not be able to surpass Ravanaasura in the series of your mutual battles. Hence my suggestion would be to enter a truce with him.' As Brahma advised thus both Nivatakavacha and Rakshasa Raja entered a mutual truce as agni sakshi. Then the daitya veera hosted Ravana and his

entourage for a year long and exchanged their 'maayopaayas' and both enjoyed touring the rasatala loka from nagara to nagara and visited 'ashmanaamaka nagara', where Kalakeya daanava, a renowned yoddha was living. As Kalakeya was hostile to Ravana, they encountered each other in the course of which Ravana sliced off the head of Ravana's sister Shurpanakha's husband Vidyujjihva of army of Kalakeya. The furious Ravana within hardly a few minutes of time had thus killed four hundred daityas and proceeded to Varuna bhavan which was radiant like white and clear clouds hitting Kailasa parvata. There stood the Surabhi naamaka celestial dhenu by whose ksheera dhaaraas ksheera saagara was replete with its milk. Rayana then had the darshan of Maha Deva's Vrishabha Vahana maata Surabhi's darshana prapti. Surabhi was infact responsible for the flows of 'ksheera saagara' over which had been the 'Ksheera Samudra's Purna Chandropatti Kaarana'. It was from the 'sudha' and 'swadha' that deva-pitru tarpanas' are made in the universe. Then Ravanaadi Rakshasa Danavas had sincerely made pradakshinas dutifully and then entered the maha bhayankara Varunaalaya and instructed the messengers there to let Varuna to appear asserting that Maha Ravana had arrived and that Varuna might surrender or take to encounter. This curt message infuriated Varuna Putras and Poutras who got prepared for an attack with Ravana. Varuna putra poutras were accompanied by the senaadhyakshaas of Varuna deva named 'Gou' and 'Pushkara'. But Ravana's rakshasa sena killed the senapatis and the Varuna sena and humiliated Varuna putra poutras who had temporarily stopped the attack. But soon enough they saw Ravana seated on the Pushpaka vimana smiling away when they heckled Ravana with their 'simha naadaas'. Having noticed this, raksha veera Mahodara got furious. He found Varuna Putras were flying in winds by their chariot and smashed his mace on the 'radhaashvaas' as the crumbled down dead along with the charioteer too. On finding Varuna putras still flying on the skies yet unruffled. They straightened their respective 'dhanush baanaas' and released on Mahodara who was hurt fatally and surrounded Ravana's pushpaka vimana and rained baana varsha on Ravana. tataḥ kruddho daśagrīvaḥ kālāgnir iva viṣṭhitaḥ, śaravarṣam mahāvegam tesām marmasv apātayat/ musalāni vicitrāni tato bhallasatāni ca, pattasāms caiva saktīs ca śataghnīs tomarāms tathā/ pātayām āsa durdharsas tesām upari visthitah, atha viddhās tu te vīrā vinispetuh padātayah/Then Rayana got furious like 'agni jwaalas' and released 'baana varshas' aiming the 'marma sthaanaas' of the Varuna putras, who in turn retaliated by flings on Ravana with vichitra musalaas-bhallas-pattishas-shaktis and shataghnaas. tato rakṣo mahānādam muktvā hanti sma vāruṇān, nānāpraharanair ghorair dhārāpātair ivāmbudah/ tatas te vimukhāh sarve patitā dharanītale, ranāt svapuruşaih śīghram grhāny eva praveśitāh/ tān abravīt tato rakṣo varuṇāya nivedyatām, rāvaṇam cābravīn mantrī prabhāso nāma vārunah/Then amid the high pitched shouts, Ravana had systematically hit the feet of the Varuna Kumaaraas as the latter fell down into the slush on earth like elephants were caught in the sludge and fell down. As the rakshasaas raised resounding victory shouts, they kept on hurling their 'ayudhaas', Varuna putra poutras ran back to their respective abodes and hid themselves. Then the rakshasas chased them and asked where was Varuna Deva! gataḥ khalu mahātejā brahmalokam jaleśvarah, gāndharvam varuṇah śrotum yam tvam āhvayase yudhi/ tat kim tava vṛthā vīra pariśrāmya gate nṛpe, ye tu samnihitā vīrāḥ kumārās te parājitāḥ/ rākṣasendras tu tac chrutvā nāma viśrāvya cātmanah, harsān nādam vimuñcan vai niskrānto varunālavāt/āgatas tu pathā vena tenaiva vinivrtva sah, lankām abhimukho rakso nabhastalagato yayau/They got the reply that Maha Raja Varuna had left to attend a 'sangeeta sabha' in Brahma Loka!' Then the rakshasaas approached Ravana who asserted that it would be futile to wait indefinitely and the pushpaka vimaana returned back to earth and furthet to Lankapuri.

[Vishlesanas on Urthva Lokas and Atho Lokas from Brahmanda Purana

Urthwa Lokas: As a part of the Cosmic Egg beyond the Lokaloka, Suta Muni described as follows:(All the Lokas which possess illuminaton are within the ambit of knowledge and the rest are all unkown and full of darkeness; that portion which is circumscribed all around by water was within the Golden Egg and is stated to contain the **Bhur-Bhuvar-Swar-Mahar-Jana-Satya-Tapo Lokas.** Knowledge of those Lokas is not clear. One could only guess that these Lokas were lit up by Chandra at the beginning of Shukla Paksha in the West in the shape of a Pot just as Brahmanda was also surmised as an Egg.)

The Brahmanda was stated to have surrounded by solidified water called 'Ghanodadhi' which was held by 'Vanoda' or a mass of solidified water and was encircled by Illumination all round in the shape of a Fiery Iron Ball, and Akasha or Ether grasps the Ganodadhi. The Bhutaadi or The Cosmic Ego or Maha Ahamkara or simply stated as Ghana Vaata or Solidified Air supported by Akaashaa was called the Infinite Principle or Mahaan; it was that Ayvakta or Unknown, Ananta or Endless, Aghora or Uncontaminated, Niraadhara or Unsupported, Avikara (Featureless), Sukshma (Subtle) and Avikarana (Unchanged and Undistorted).

Adholokas: As Bhu Devi the Divine Goddess is the Mother of all Living Beings, 'Aapas' or water is stated to be endless and so are Vayu, Agni and Akasha. Underneath Bhumi are the Nether Worlds viz. Atala, Vitala, Sutala, Talaatala, Rasatala, Mahatala and Patala. The soil in Atala is stated to be of black soil, of Vitala the ground was of palewhite, Sutala of blue, Talatala of yellow colour, Rasatala of gravel covered ground, Mahatala of Rocky Ground and of Patala of Gold. The Palaces of Asuras of Namuchi the enemy of Mahendra, besides of other demons like Mahananda, Kabandha, Bhima, Suladanta, Dhanjaya, Nagendra were all glittering exampes of opulence and material happiness in Atala and other Lokas. In Sutala were the noted Daitya-Rakshasa-Serpent Kings like Mahajambha, Karbandha, Hayagriva, Nikumbha, Bhima, Suladanta, Dhananjaya, Nagendra, Kalia and so on. Shankha, Gomukha, Kakutpada, Asvatara, Kambala, Takshaka stayed at Vitala; Prahlada, Taraka, Puranjana etc were in Rasatala; Kalanemi, Gajakarna were in Mahatala; and among other illustrious serpents Maha Sesha was in Patala. Sesha Deva with his mighty and huge physique with thousand hoods ornamented with outstanding diamonds emitting unprecedented effulgence is stated to bear the brunt of the Entire Universe from Urthva Lokas, Bhumi and the Nether worlds and worshipped by Devas, Danavas, Siddhas and all other celestial beings alike! The Adholokas are called Bilwa Swarga which provided unparalleled physical and material happiness unavailable in Swarga even. The invaluable 'Manis' (diamonds) like those worn on the hoods of the huge serpents provided such illumination to all Nether Lokas. The population of these Lokas are stated to lead such unbelievable luxuries and joy that Maharshi Narada who visited these Lokas were totally impressed. He stated that the most powerful Surya Deva bestowed only radiance and not his heat while Chandra gave only brightness but not chilliness. The inhabitants of Bilwa Swarga always revelled in delicacies of food and wine with sophistication and style of living as they were least concerned of day-to- day difficulties; they spent long spells of time in bathing swimming in scented Sarovaras and Ponds and Narada stated that Vishnu's Tamoguna was in full display at the Bilwa Swarga!]

Sarga Twenty Four

Ravana concludes his trip to adholokas, picked up youthful women on way and stuffed them in pushpaka with cryings to Lankapuri; on arrival made arrangements for widowed Surpanakha's stay further

Nivartamānaḥ samhṛṣṭo rāvaṇaḥ sa durātmavān, jahre pathi narendrarṣidevagandharvakanyakāḥ/darśanīyām hi yām rakṣaḥ kanyām strīm vātha paśyati, hatvā bandhujanam tasyā vimāne samnyaveśayat/tatra pannagayakṣāṇām mānuṣāṇām ca rakṣasām, daityānām dānavānām ca kanyā jagrāha rāvaṇaḥ/dīrghakeśyaḥ sucārvaṅgyaḥ pūrṇacandranibhānanāḥ, śokāyattās taruṇyaś ca samastā stananamritāḥ/tulyam agnyarciṣām tatra śokāgnibhayasambhavam, pravepamānā duḥkhārtā mumucur bāṣpajam jalam/tāsām niśvasamānām niśvasaiḥ sampradīpitam, agnihotram ivābhāti samniruddhāgnipuṣpakam/kā cid dadhyau suduḥkhārtā hanyād api hi mām ayam, smṛtvā mātṛh pitṛn bhrātṛn putrān vai śvaśurān api,duḥkhaśokasamāviṣṭā vilepuḥ sahitāḥ striyaḥ/katham nu khalu me putraḥ kariṣyati mayā vinā, katham mātā katham bhrātā nimagnāḥ śokasāgare/hā katham nu kariṣyāmi bhartāram daivatam vinā, mṛtyo prasīda yāce tvām naya mām yamasādanam/kim nu me duṣkṛtam karma kṛtam dehāntare purā, tato 'smi dharṣitānena patitā śokasāgare/ na khalv idānīm paśyāmi duḥkhasyāntam ihātmanaḥ, aho dhin mānuṣāmil lokān nāsti khalv adhamaḥ paraḥ/yad durbalā balavatā bāndhavā rāvaṇ uditenaiva sūryeṇa tārakā iva nāśitāḥ/ aho subalavad rakṣo vadhopāyeṣu rajyate, aho durvṛttam ātmānam svayam eva na

budhyate/ sarvathā sadrśas tāvad vikramo 'sya durātmanah idam tv asadrśam karma paradārābhi marśanam/ yasmād esa parakhyāsu strīsu rajyati durmatih, tasmād dhi strīkrtenaiva vadham prāpsyati vāraṇaḥ./ śaptaḥ strībhiḥ sa tu tadā hatatejāḥ suniṣprabha, pativratābhiḥ sādhvībhiḥ sthitābhiḥ sādhu vartmani/ evam vilapamānāsu rāvaņo rākṣasādhipaḥ, praviveśa purīm lankām pūjyamāno niśācaraiḥ/ tato rāksasarājasva svasā paramaduhkhitā, pādavoh patitā tasva vaktum evopacakrame/ tatah svasāram utthāpya rāvaṇaḥ parisāntvayan, abravīt kim idam bhadre vaktum arhasi me drutam/ sā bāṣpapariruddhākṣī rākṣasī vākyam abravīt, hatāsmi vidhavā rājams tvayā balavatā kṛtā/ ete viryāt tvayā rājan daityā vinihatā rane, kālakeyā iti khyātā mahābalaparākramāh/ tatra me nihato bhartā garīyāñ jīvitād api, sa tvayā dayitas tatra bhrātrā śatrusamena vai/ yā tvayāsmi hatā rājan svayam eveha bandhunā, duhkham vaidhavyaśabdam ca dattam bhoksyāmy aham tvayā/ nanu nāma tvayā raksyo jāmātā samaresv api, tam nihatya rane rājan svayam eva na lajjase/ evam uktas tayā rakso bhaginyā krośamānayā, abravīt sāntvayitvā tām sāmapūrvam idam vacah/ alam vatse visādena na bhetavyam ca sarvaśah, mānadāna -viśeṣais tvām toṣayiṣyāmi nityaśah/ yuddhe pramatto vyākṣipto jayakānkṣī kṣipañ śarān, nāvagacchāmi yuddheşu svān parān vāpy aham śubhe, tenāsau nihatah samkhye mayā bhartā tava svasah/ asmin kāle tu vat prāptam tat karisvāmi te hitam, bhrātur aiśvarvasamsthasva kharasva bhava pārśvataḥ/ caturdaśānām bhrātā te sahasrāṇām bhaviṣyati, prabhuḥ prayāṇe dāne ca rākṣasānām mahaujasām/ tatra mātṛṣvasuḥ putro bhrātā tava kharaḥ prabhuḥ, bhaviṣyati sadā kurvan yad vakṣyasi vacah svayam/ śīghram gacchatv ayam śūro dandakān pariraksitum, dūsano 'sya balādhyakso bhavisyati mahābalah/ sa hi sapto vanoddesah kruddhenosanasā purā, rāksasānām ayam vāso bhavisyati na samśayah/ evam uktvā daśagrīvah sainyam tasyādideśa ha, caturdaśa sahasrāni rakṣasām kāmarūpiṇām/ sa taiḥ sarvaiḥ parivṛto rākṣasair ghoradarśanaiḥ, kharaḥ samprayayau śīghram daṇḍakān akutobhayah/ sa tatra kārayām āsa rājyam nihatakantakam, sā ca śūrpanakhā prītā nyayasad dandakāvane/

Ravana was extremely delighted with his vijaya yatra to rasaatala, more so as he had forcibly grabbed innumerable kanyas on his way back from the adholokas and urdhva lokaas too like naresha putris, rishideva-danava-naaga-rakshasa-asura-manushya-yaksha-gandharvaas too. The pushpaka vimana was full of heart rending cryings of desperation, hoarse raspings of helplessness, and mouthful curses of harassments. The pushpaka vimana was thus filled of moans and high pitch sobbings and curses on Rayana who was laughing away as loud as th hysteric wailings. In this way as the naaga-gandharva-maharshi-daityadaanava kanys in thousands, Ravana was grabbing the long and shining head hairs, tender vakshshtalas, slim waists, and slender feet. As the 'sundara madhyabhaaga' sundaris with chiselled faces as selected by Ravana were frightened with fear and vulnerability, he kept on merry making to match their howlings. Such youthful women were forced out leaving their parents, brothers and even in some cases her husbansa too would indeed be alarmed as some of them might even be of some sweet sixteen years only. Some were even frightened that this rakshasa might even devour them. They kept on yelling: Ha! How could I leave my huband; mrityu deva, how could I ever live with my tender children as some would be even new born! evam vilapamānāsu rāvano rāksasādhipah, praviveša purīm lankām pūjvamāno niśācaraiḥ/ tato rākṣasarājasya svasā paramaduḥkhitā, pādayoḥ patitā tasya vaktum evopacakrame/ tataḥ svasāram utthāpya rāvaṇaḥ parisāntvayan, abravīt kim idam bhadre vaktum arhasi me drutam/As the forcefully kidnapped young women were crying away in hysterics, his pushpaka vimana descended at Lankapuri, while Ravana's sister Shurnanakha along with a group of rakshasis appeared and fell down with anguish, as Ravana asked her to state what all should she desire too quickly. Shurpanakha shedding hot tears cried out: sā bāṣpapariruddhākṣī rākṣasī vākyam abravīt, hatāsmi vidhavā rājams tvayā balavatā krtā/ ete viryāt tvayā rājan daityā vinihatā raņe, kālakeyā iti khyātā mahābalaparākramāḥ/tatra me nihato bhartā garīyāñ jīvitād api, sa tvayā dayitas tatra bhrātrā śatrusamena vai/yā tvayāsmi hatā rājan svayam eveha bandhunā, duḥkham vaidhavyaśabdam ca dattam bhokṣyāmy aham tvayā/ nanu nāma tvayā raksyo jāmātā samaresv api, tam nihatya rane rājan svayam eva na lajjase/ 'Rakshasa Raja! you are a great warrior and that was how you made me widow forcefully! I am aware that you had destroyed fourteen thousand daityas of Kalakeya and among them my husband too was one of the daityas of Kalakeya's army. Thus you got me widowed proving that you are not my own brother but a sworn

enemy! Raja! It is unbelievable that your own sister's husband had been killed by you with your own hands! Are you not ashamed of youself! So screaming Surpanakha and wailing away, Rayana with seeming pleasentness took to dramatics and replied affectionately: Dear sister! What is the point of your hoarse weeping away now; kindly do not feel neglected now; be assured that I should treat you with 'maana-daana-sanmaanaas' now with my heart and soul. As I get furious in my battles, the 'vichakshana inaana' would get dimmed off as the singulr objective would be of success alone. In the course of a battle, one would never think of relationship excepting you and me alone. Now my truthful repentance and apologies to you. asmin kāle tu yat prāptam tat kariṣyāmi te hitam, bhrātur aiśvaryasamsthasya kharasya bhava pārśvatah/ caturdaśānām bhrātā te sahasrānām bhavisyati, prabhuh prayāne dāne ca rākṣasānām mahaujasām/ tatra mātṛṣvasuḥ putro bhrātā tava kharaḥ prabhuḥ bhaviṣyati sadā kurvan yad vaksyasi vacah svayam/Dear sister! Since I am responsible for your widowhood, I should make alternate arrangements for your comfortale living henceforth. Now onward do please move out and stay under the care of our brother Khara who has the control of fourteen thousand rakshasas under him.. He has all the time been following my instructions with dutiful compliance. śīghram gacchaty ayam śūro dandakān pariraksitum, dūsano 'sva balādhvakso bhavisvati mahābalah/ sa hi sapto vanoddesah kruddhenośanasā purā, rākṣasānām ayam vāso bhaviṣyati na samśayah/ Therefore do please move on to dandakaranya for your comfortable living ever. Mahabali Dushana is Khara's senapati who would all the arrangements for you.' So saying Ravana assuaged sister Shurpanakhha's lifelong widowhood.

Sarga Twenty Five

Ravana landed at Lankapuri with the kidnapped strees, Vibhishana chided Ravana recalling how their cousin sister Kumbhini was kidnapped by Madhu-Ravana attacked Madhu but she saved Madhu

Sa tu dattvā daśagrīvo vanam ghoram kharasya tat, bhaginīm ca samāśvāsya hṛstah svasthataro 'bhavat/ tato nikumbhilā nāma lankāyāh kānanam mahat, mahātmā rāksasendras tat praviveśa sahānugah/ tatra yūpaśatākīrṇam saumyacaityopaśobhitam, dadarśa viṣṭhitam yajñam sampradīptam iva śriyā/ tataḥ krsnājinadharam kamandaluśikhādhyajam, dadarśa svasutam tatra meghanādam arimdamam/ raksahpatih samāsādya samāślisva ca bāhubhih, abravīt kim idam vatsa vartate tad bravīhi me/ uśanā tv abravīt tatra gurur yajñasamrddhaye, rāvaṇam rākṣasaśreṣṭham dvijaśreṣṭho mahātapāḥ/ aham ākhyāmi te rājañ śrūyatām sarvam eva ca, yajñās te sapta putrena prāptāh subahuvistarāh/ agnistomo 'śvamedhaś ca yajño bahusuvarnakah, rājasūyas tathā yajño gomedho vaisnavas tathā/ māheśvare pravrtte tu yajñe pumbhih sudurlabhe, varāms te labdhavān putrah sāksāt paśupater iha/ kāmagam syandanam divyam antariksacaram dhruvam, māyām ca tāmasīm nāma yayā sampadyate tamah/ etayā kila samgrāme māyayā rākṣaseśvara, prayuddhasya gatih śakyā na hi jñātum surāsuraih/ akṣayāv iṣudhī bāṇaiś cāpam cāpi sudurjayam, astram ca balavat saumya śatruvidhvamsanam rane/ etān sarvān varāml labdhvā putras te 'yam daśānana, adya yajñasamāptau ca tvatpratīkṣaḥ sthito aham/ tato 'bravīd daśagrīvo na śobhanam idam krtam, pūjitāh śatravo vasmād dravvair indrapurogamāh/ ehīdānīm krtam vad dhi tad akartum na śakvate, āgaccha saumya gacchāmah syam eva bhayanam prati/ tato gatyā daśagrīyah saputrah savibhīşaṇah, striyo 'vatārayām āsa sarvās tā bāṣpaviklavāh/ lakṣiṇyo ratnabūtāś ca devadānavaraksasām, nānābhūsanasampannā įvalantyah svena tejasā/ vibhīsanas tu tā nārīr drstvā śokasamākulāh, tasya tām ca matim jñātvā dharmātmā vākyam abravīt/īdṛśais taih samācārair vaśo'rthakulanāśanaih, dharsanam prāninām dattvā svamatena vicestase/ jñātīn vai dharsavitvemās tvayānītā varānganāḥ, tvām atikramya madhunā rājan kumbhīnasī hṛtā/ rāvaṇas tv abravīd vākyam nāvagacchāmi kim tv idam, ko vāyam yas tvayākhyāto madhur ity eva nāmataḥ/ vibhīṣaṇas tu samkruddho bhrātaram vākyam abravīt, śrūyatām asya pāpasya karmanah phalam āgatam/ mātāmahasya yo 'smākam jyeṣṭho bhrātā sumālinaḥ, mālyavān iti vikhyāto vṛddhaprājño niśācaraḥ/ pitur jyestho jananyāś ca asmākam tv āryako 'bhavat, tasya kumbhīnasī nāma duhitur duhitābhava/ mātṛsvasur athāsmākam sā kanyā cānalodbhavā, bhavaty asmākam esā vai bhrātṛnām dharmatah svasā/ sā hrtā madhunā rājan rākşasena balīyasā, yajñaprayrtte putre te mayi cāntarjaloşite/ nihatya rāksasaśresthān amātvāms tava sammatān, dharsavitvā hrtā rājan guptā hv antahpure tava/ śrutvā tv

etan mahārāja ksāntam eva hato na sah, yasmād avaśyam dātavyā kanyā bhartre hi dātrbhih, asminn evābhisamprāptam loke viditam astu te/tato 'bravīd daśagrīvah kruddhah samraktalocanah, kalpyatām me rathaḥ śīghram śūrāḥ sajjībhavantu ca/bhrātā me kumbhakarṇaś ca ye ca mukhyā niśācarāḥ, vāhanāny adhirohantu nānāpraharaṇāyudhāh/adya tam samare hatvā madhum rāvaṇanirbhayam, indralokam gamisyāmi yuddhakānksī suhrdyrtah/ tato vijitya tridiyam vaśe sthāpya puramdaram, niryrto viharişyāmi trailokyaiśvaryaśobhitah/ akṣauhinīsahasrāni catvāry ugrāni rakṣasām, nānāpraharaṇāny āśu niryayur yuddhakānkṣiṇām/ indrajit tv agrataḥ sainyam sainikān parigṛhya ca, rāvaṇo madhyataḥ śūrah kumbhakarnaś ca prsthatah/ vibhīsanas tu dharmātmā laṅkāyāṁ dharmam ācarat, te tu sarve mahābhāgā yayur madhupuram prati/ rathair nāgaih kharair ustrair hayair dīptair mahoragaih, rāksasāh prayayuh sarve kṛtvākāśaṁ nirantaram/ daityāś ca śataśas tatra kṛtavairāh suraih saha, rāvanam preksya gacchantam anvagacchanta prsthatah/ sa tu gatvā madhupuram pravisya ca daśānanah, na dadarśa madhum tatra bhaginīm tatra drstavān sā prahvā prāñjalir bhūtvā śirasā pādayor gatā, tasya rākṣasarājasya trastā kumbhīnasī svasā/ tām samutthāpayām āsa na bhetavyam iti bruvan, rāvano rāksasaśresthah kim cāpi karavāni te/ sābravīd vadi me rājan prasannas tvam mahābala, bhartāram na mamehādya hantum arhasi mānada/ satvayāg bhaya rājendra mām ayeksasya yācatīm, tvayā hy uktam mahābāho na bhetavyam iti svayam/ rāvaņas tv abravīd dhṛṣṭaḥ svasāram tatra samsthitām, kva cāsau tava bhartā vai mama śīghram nivedyatām/ saha tena gamiṣyāmi suralokam jayāya vai, tava kārunyasauhārdān nivṛtto 'smi madhor vadhāt' ity uktā sā prasuptam tam samutthāpya niśācaram, abravīt samprahrsteva rāksasī suvipaścitam/ esa prāpto daśagrīvo mama bhrātā niśācarah, suralokajayākānkṣī sāhāyye tvām vṛṇoti ca/tad asya tvam sahāyārtham sabandhur gaccha rākṣasa, snigdhasya bhajamānasya yuktam arthāya kalpitum/ tasyās tad yacanam śrutyā tathety āha madhur vacaḥ, dadarśa rākṣasaśreṣṭham yathānyāyam upetya saḥ/ pūjayām āsa dharmeṇa rāvaṇam rāksasādhipam, prāptapūjo daśagrīvo madhuveśmani vīryavān, tatra caikām niśām usya gamanāyopacakrame/ tatah kailāsam āsādya śailam vaiśravanālayam, rāksasendro mahendrābhah senām upaniveśayat/

Having sent off Shurpanahka to dandakaranya under the care of his cousin Khara Rakshasa and visited Nikumbhila Vana of Lankapuri for peace of mind and tranquility. There he saw that his son Meghanada was performing a sacrerd yagina karya under the guidance of the dwija shreshta danaya guru Shukra achaarya. The acharya explained what all Meghanaada had been performing with 'nishtha' a series of yagjna karyas: agnistomo 'śvamedhaś ca yajño bahusuvarnakah, rājasūyas tathā yajño gomedho vaiṣṇavas tathā/ māheśvare pravṛtte tu yajñe pumbhiḥ sudurlabhe, varāms te labdhavān putraḥ sākṣāt paśupater iha/ kāmagam syandanam divyam antariksacaram dhruvam, māyām ca tāmasīm nāma yayā sampadyate tamah/ He explained: 'Rakshasa Raja! Your son Meghanada with 'nishtha pratishtha' and with wholehearted purity of mind had so far executed Agnishttoma-Ashmamedha-Bahusuvarnika-Rajasooya-Gomedha-Vaishnava yagjnas so far- to be further followed up Maheshwara Yagjna which is climactic and the hardest whose anushthaana is challenging. Once initiated Bhagavan Pashupati would himself appear with his nija darshana. Hence Rakshasa Raja, your son would be bestowed with 'divya radha' besides Taamasiki maya to create and control 'andhakara' or total darkness. etayā kila samgrāme māyayā rākṣaseśvara, prayuddhasya gatiḥ śakyā na hi jñātum surāsuraiḥ/ akṣayāv iṣudhī bāṇaiś cāpam cāpi sudurjayam, astram ca balavat saumya śatruvidhvamsanam rane/ etān sarvān varām-llabdhvā putras te 'yam daśānana, adya yajñasamāptau ca tvatpratīksah sthito aham/ Rakshaseshwara! Then in a sangrama, who ever would make a 'maya prayoga' -be it by a deva or asura, then the appearance or disappearance could be well controlled. Further, the recipient of the boon would secure a 'tuneera yukta dhanush baanaas' to devastate the enemies. Dashaanana! That is why I am waiting while standing here restlessly fot your son's accomplishment as also for your apperance here.' On hearing this, Ravana addressed his son: 'dear son! Why are you getting attracted to these yagina karyaas involving pujas to my enemies Indraadi Devataas. Anyway, leave all these yaginas and homa karyas. Let us go!' Then as Meghanaada and Vibhishana followed Ravana to ascend the pushpaka vimana, the artanaadaas of the kidnapped yuvatis renewed their desperations. Vibhishana was not able to keep his restraint and addressed the elder brother: īdrśais taih samācārair vaśo'rthakulanāśanaih, dharsanam prāninām dattvā

svamatena vicestase/ Rakshasa Raja! whatever that I am seeing and hearing is most unfortunate as this would lead to the 'yasho-dhana-kula vinaasha!' Why indeed are you subdunig the husbands and relatives of these unfortunate devis and are harassing them in thousands. jñātīn vai dharṣayitvemās tvayānītā varānganāh, tvām atikramya madhunā rājan kumbhīnasī hṛtā/ rāvaṇas tv abravīd vākyam nāvagacchāmi kim tv idam, ko vāyam vas tvayākhyāto madhur itv eva nāmatah/ vibhīsanas tu samkruddho bhrātaram vākyam abravīt, śrūyatām asya pāpasya karmaṇaḥ phalam āgatam/ Maha Raja! what all you have been doing by way of harassing these females by beating their bandhu bandhavaas is sure to your keertiaishwarya-and kula naashana. Why are you rejecting the rudimentary sadaachaara and taking to 'sweccha pravartana' in this detestable manner! Don't you realise what all had in the past that the demon Madhu had forcibly kidnapped our cousin sister Kumbhini. Ravana then asked Vibhishana as to who indeed was Madhu! Vibhishana replied with anger and replied: listen to me. Paapa karma haunts demanding retribution always: Our maternal grand father Sumali who was well known as the elder brother of Malyavan who was a buddhimaan nishachara. He was over maternal grandfather too. His daughter was Kaikasi and her daughter was Kumbhini who thus was our own cousin sister. sā hṛtā madhunā rājan rāksasena balīvasā, vajñapravrtte putre te mavi cāntarjalosite/ nihatva rāksasaśresthān amātvāms tava sammatān, dharşayitvā hṛtā rājan guptā hy antaḥpure tava/ śrutvā tv etan mahārāja kṣāntam eva hato na saḥ, yasmād avaśyam dātavyā kanyā bhartre hi dātrbhiḥ, asminn evābhisamprāptam loke viditam astu te/ When your son Meghanada was perfoming tapasya in waters and as Kumbhakarna was in deep sleep, Rakshasa Madhu came here and killed our mantris and forcibly kidnapped our cousin sister Kubhini. Actually Kumbhini was then in the antahpura but he, having broken into the gates, succeeded in her kidnapping. Then do recall that we the brothers ignored that incident feeling that any way Kumbhini came of vivaha yukta kaala and thus forgot about that incident. As your memory had faded away I would like to refresh your memory! tato 'bravīd daśagrīvah kruddhah samraktalocanah, kalpyatām me rathah śīghram śūrāh sajjībhavantu ca/ bhrātā me kumbhakarnaś ca ye ca mukhyā niśācarāh, vāhanāny adhirohantu nānāpraharanāyudhāh/adya tam samare hatvā madhum rāvananirbhayam, indralokam gamisyāmi yuddhakānksī suhrdvrtah/As Vibhishana reminded of the earlier incident of Madhu's arrogant deed of kidnapping hi cousin sister Kumbhini, Ravana got furious with reddened looks and instructed that let us straightaway get ready to attack Madhu Rakshasa for his act of kidnapping Kumbhini and having killed him make devaloka yatra further. Then as per his instructions, four thousasnd akshohini rakshasa sena armed wit astra shastras attacked with Meghanaada in the lead as Kumbhakarna too followed Ravana. Vibhishana the 'dharmatma' remained in Lankapuri with his dharmaacharana.

sa tu gatvā madhupuram pravišya ca daśānanaḥ, na dadarśa madhum tatra bhaginīm tatra dṛṣṭavān/ sā prahvā prāñjalir bhūtvā śirasā pādayor gatā, tasya rākṣasarājasya trastā kumbhīnasī svasā/ tām samutthāpayām āsa na bhetavyam iti bruvan, rāvaṇo rākṣasaśreṣṭhaḥ kim cāpi karavāṇi te/ As Ravana and the army reached, he saw Kumbhini but not her husband Madhu Rakshasa while she having realised that Ravana with all the sena had arrived to kill her husband fell down at Ravana's feet. Then Ravana assured her not to get frightened but asserted as to which kind of task that he might have to help her with.sābravīd yadi me rājan prasannas tvam mahābala, bhartāram na mamehādya hantum arhasi mānada/ satyavāg bhava rājendra mām avekṣasva yācatīm, tvayā hy uktam mahābāho na bhetavyam iti svayam/ rāvaṇas tv abravīd dhṛṣṭaḥ svasāram tatra samsthitām, kva cāsau tava bhartā vai mama śīghram nivedyatām/ Kumbhini replied: Rakshasa Raja! as you have arrived here to help me, do not kindly kill my husband as your own 'kulavadhu' should not be widowed! Please understand that viadhavya for any women becomes unbearable. Rajendra! You are a satyavaadi and as such I request you to be truthful in your promise. As such I seek your help as I am seeking my husband's 'jeeva daana'. You gave me the assurance asserting: 'not to get frightened'! Then Ravana got cooled down and asked as to where was her husband.

Then she approached Madhu Rakshasa and assured his sneha bandhavya. Madhu then reached rather timidly as both Kumbhini-Madhu couple hosted a feastful food and rest to Ravana and followers proceeded in that evening itself to Kailasa parvata

Sarga Twenty Six

<u>Provoked by Prakriti Soundarya, Ravana encountered Apsarasa Rambha and forced 'atyaachaara' as her lover Nalakubara, Kubera'son, cursed Ravana never to coerce unwilling woman attracting instant death.</u>

Sa tu tatra daśagrīvaḥ saha sainyena vīryavān, astam prāpte dinakare nivāsam samarocayat/ udite vimale candre tulyaparvatavarcasi, sa dadarśa guṇāms tatra candrapādopaśobhitān/karṇikāravanair divyaiḥ kadambagahanais tathā, padminībhiś ca phullābhir mandākinyā jalair api/ ghanṭānām iva samnādah śuśruve madhurasvanah, apsaroganasamghanām gāyatām dhanadālaye/ puspavarsāni muñcanto nagāh pavanatāditāh, śailam tam vāsayantīva madhumādhavagandhinah/ madhupuspa rajahprktam gandham ādāva puskalam, pravavau vardhayan kāmam rāvanasva sukho 'nilah/ geyāt puṣpasamṛddhyā ca śaityād vāyor guṇair gireḥ, pravṛttāyām rajanyām ca candrasyodayanena ca/ rāvaṇah sumahāvīryaḥ kāmabāṇavaśam gataḥ, viniśvasya viniśvasya śaśinam samavaikṣata/ etasminn antare tatra divyapuspavibhūsitā, sarvāpsarovarā rambhā pūrnacandranibhānanā/krtair viśesakair ārdraih sadartukusumotsavaih, nīlam satovameghābham vastram samavagunthitā/ vasva vaktram śaśinibham bhruvau cāpanibhe śubhe, ūrū karikarākārau karau pallavakomalau, sainyamadhyena gacchantī rāvaņenopalakṣitā/ tām samutthāya rakṣendraḥ kāmabāṇabalārditaḥ, kare grhītvā gacchantīm smayamāno 'bhyabhāsata/ kva gacchasi varārohe kām siddhim bhajase svayam, kasyābhyudayakālo 'yam yas tvām samupabhoksyate/ tavānanarasasyādya padmotpalasugandhinah, sudhāmrtarasasyeva ko 'dya tṛptim gamiṣyati/ svarṇakumbhanibhau pīnau śubhau bhīru nirantarau, kasyorasthalasamsparśam dāsvatas te kucāv imau/ suvarnacakrapratimam svarnadāmacitam prthu, adhvāroksvati kas te 'dva svargam jaghanarūpiņam/ madviśiṣṭaḥ pumān ko 'nyaḥ śakro viṣṇur athāśvinau, mām atītya hi yasya tvam yāsi bhīru na śobhanam/ viśrama tvam prthuśroni śilātalam idam śubham, trailokye yah prabhuś caiva tulyo mama na vidyate/ tad esa prāñjalih prahvo yācate tvām daśānanah, yah prabhuś cāpi bhartā ca trailokyasya bhajasva mām/ evam uktābravīd rambhā vepamānā krtāñjalih, prasīda nārhase vaktum īdrśam tvam hi me guruh/ anyebhyo 'pi tvayā raksyā prāpnuyām dharsanam yadi, dharmataś ca snusā te 'ham tattvam etad bravīmi te/ abravīt tām daśagrīvaś caraṇādhomukhīm sthitām, sutasya yadi me bhāryā tatas tvam me snusā bhayeh/ bādham ity eya sā rambhā prāha rāyanam uttaram, dharmatas te sutasyāham bhāryā rāksasapumgaya/ putrah priyatarah prānair bhrātur vaiśrayanasya te, khyāto yas trișu lokeșu nalakūbara ity asau/ dharmato yo bhaved vipraḥ kṣatriyo vīryato bhavet, krodhād yaś ca bhaved agnih ksāntyā ca vasudhāsamah/ tasyāsmi krtasamketā lokapālasutasya vai, tam uddiśya ca me sarvam vibhūsanam idam krtam/ yasya tasya hi nānyasya bhāvo mām prati tisthati, tena satyena mām rājan moktum arhasy arimdama/ sa hi tisthati dharmātmā sāmpratam matsamutsukah, tan na vighnam sutasyeha kartum arhasi muñca mām/ sadbhir ācaritam mārgam gaccha rāksasapumgava, mānanīyo mayā hi tvam lālanīyā tathāsmi te/ evam bruvāṇām rambhām tām dharmārthasahitam vacaḥ, nirbhartsya rākṣaso mohāt pratigṛḥya balād balī, kāmamohābhisamrabdho maithunāyopacakrame/ sā vimuktā tato rambhā bhraṣṭamālyavibhūṣaṇā, gajendrākrīḍamathitā nadīvākulatām gatā/ sā vepamānā lajjantī bhītā karakrtāñjalih, nalakūbaram āsādva pādayor nipapāta ha/ tadavasthām ca tām drstvā mahātmā nalakūbarah, abravīt kim idam bhadre pādayoh patitāsi me/ sā tu niśvasamānā ca vepamānātha sāñjalih, tasmai sarvam yathātathyam ākhyātum upacakrame/ eṣa deva daśagrīvaḥ prāpto gantum triviṣṭapam, tena sainyasahāyena niśeha parināmyate/ āyāntī tena dṛstāsmi tvatsakāśam arimdama, gṛhītvā tena pṛstāsmi kasya tvam iti raksasā/ mayā tu sarvam yat satyam tad dhi tasmai niveditam, kāmamohābhi bhūtātmā nāśrausīt tad vaco mama/ yācyamāno mayā deva snusā te 'ham iti prabho, tat sarvam pṛṣṭhataḥ kṛtvā balāt tenāsmi dharṣitā/ evam tvam aparādham me kṣantum arhasi mānada, na hi tulyam balam saumya striyās ca puruṣasya ca/ evam śrutvā tu samkruddhas tadā vaisvaraṇātmajaḥ, dharṣaṇām tām parām śrutvā dhyānam sampraviveśa ha/ tasya tat karma vijñāya tadā vaiśravaṇātmajaḥ, muhūrtād roşatāmrākṣas toyam jagrāha pāṇinā/ gṛhītvā salilam divyam upaspṛśya yathāvidhi, utsasarja tadā śāpaṁ rāksasendrāya dārunam/ akāmā tena yasmāt tvaṁ balād bhadre pradharsitā, tasmāt sa yuvatīm anyām nākāmām upayāsyati/ yadā tv akāmām kāmārto dharsayisyati yositam, mūrdhā tu saptadhā tasya śakalībhavitā tadā/ tasminn udāhṛte śāpe įvalitāgnisamaprabhe, devadundubhayo neduḥ puṣpavṛṣṭiś ca khāc cyutā/ prajāpatimukhāś cāpi sarve devāh praharsitāh, jñātvā lokagatim sarvām tasva mrtyum ca

rakṣasaḥ/ śrutvā tu sa daśagrīvas tam śāpam romaharṣaṇam, nārīṣu maithunam bhāvam nākāmāsv abhyarocayat/

As Ravana and the rakshasa followers reached by the early night, Chandra Deva was in bloom at the Kailasa Parvata as all the rakshasas had taken to sound sleep. But nishaachara Rayana was awake enjoying the prakriti soundarya in the moon light as various flowers of vrikshas like champa, ashoka, naaga kesara, mandara,choota, paatala, priyangu, arjuna, ketaka, tagara, naarikela, panasaadi vrikshaas. That was the time when kinnara-vidyadhara-gandharva-apsara vanitas were singing sonorous songs and group and solo dances swaying their youthful anga bhangimas. Vasanta ritu vriksha-pushpa gandha, in the background of sugandha-manda-vayu chalanas, and the sing and dance pradarshanas on the mountain top were truly mesmerising. geyāt puspasamrddhyā ca śaityād vāyor gunair gireh, prayrttāyām rajanyām ca candrasyodayanena ca/ rāvanah sumahāvīryah kāmabānavaśam gatah, viniśvasya viniśvasya śaśinam samavaikṣata/ etasminn antare tatra divyapuṣpavibhūṣitā, sarvāpsarovarā rambhā pūrņacandranibhānanā/ Madhura Sangeeta Mridu Nissvanaas, pushpa smriddhi, sheetala vaayu sprasha, purna chandrodaya had exhilarated and stimulated Rayana's irresistible 'kaama yaancha', particularly as apsaras with their vastra bhushanaas were mildly dancing and singing with haava-bhaavas. Their bodies were replete with sugandha lepana, kesha paashas were decorated with paarijata pushpas, mukharavindas were rich with shringaara rasa, jaghana sthalas with swarnaopahaaras, kapola naasika karnas were like chitra rachanaas. etasminn antare tatra divyapuspavibhūsitā, sarvāpsarovarā rambhā pūrnacandra nibhānanā/tām samutthāya rakṣendraḥ kāmabāṇabalārditaḥ, kare gṛhītvā gacchantīm smayamāno 'bhyabhāṣata/ kva gacchasi varārohe kām siddhim bhajase svayam, kasyābhyudayakālo 'yam yas tvām samupabhokṣyate/ tavānanarasasyādya padmotpalasugandhinaḥ, sudhāmṛtarasasyeva ko 'dya tṛptim gamisyati/Ravana was by that time was overcome with 'kaamaa vaanccha' spotted Rambha among the 'apsara sundaris'. Even as he glanced her he was victimised with the pushpa baanaas of Manmadha and held her in his hold, and she was shaken by 'lazza' while Ravana addressed her smilingly. 'Varaaroha! where are you slipping away from me. You seek to avoid me even while you desire to let me catch you. This is the best possible and most idyllic time for us to enjoy together. madviśiṣṭaḥ pumān ko 'nyaḥ śakro viṣṇur athāśvinau, mām atītya hi yasya tvam yāsi bhīru na śobhanam/ viśrama tvam pṛthuśroṇi śilātalam idam śubham, trailokye yah prabhuś caiva tulyo mama na vidyate/ tad esa prāñjalih prahvo vācate tvām daśānanaḥ, yaḥ prabhuś cāpi bhartā ca trailokyasya bhajasva mām/ Which any other maha purusha like Indra- Upendra - or Ashvini Kmaaraas better than me who indeed is more qualified to go to bed with! Shthula nitamba sundari! Be seated on this clean rock for a while. You should realise that I am the tribhuyana swami and the trilokaadhipati. Now this Ravana would like to request you to accept me once'. Then Devi Rambha folded her hands and stated: Ravana Prabho. Please be kind to me. You should never ever make this kind of request to me as you are my guru-pitaa samaana.' As she was not only bashful but shivering with fear while saying so, Ravana replied: 'Rambhe! If you really mean that you are my pirtusamaana, then do accept my putra then.' Rambha replied: Rakshasa shiromani! As per 'Dharmaanusaara' I am already your 'putra vadhu' since your brother Kubera's son is 'Nalakubara' whom I am head over wheels in love with. In fact he had hinted to me to reach this very spot on the Kailaasa shikhara. Therefore Rakshasa Raja! you may kindly leave me.' Then Ravana replied: Strushaasmi yada vochastvamekapatneeshvayam kramah, devaloka sthitiriyam suraanaam shasvvateemataa, patir apsarasaam naasti na chaika streeparigrahah/ evam bruvānām rambhām tām dharmārthasahitam vacah, nirbhartsya rāksaso mohāt pratigrhya balād balī, kāmamohābhisamrabdho maithunāyopacakrame/ ' Rambhe! I am not able neither appeciate nor understand as to how you explained to me that you are my putra vadhu. These types of relationships might be relevant in celestial lokas but not to rakshasaas. Moreover, Apsaraas have never had such inhibitions as they never have one husband one wife complex. ' So saying, Ravana made a balaatkaara even as Rambha was seated forcefully. sā vimuktā tato rambhā bhrastamālyavibhūsanā, gajendrākrīdamathitā nadīvākulatām gatā/ sā vepamānā lajjantī bhītā karakṛtāñjalih, nalakūbaram āsādya pādayor nipapāta ha/Her flower garlands were torn, aabhushanaas were distorted and so were the settings of her body were disfigured. She then appeared as if a gaja raaja enjoyed a 'jala kreeda' leaving the purity of 'sarojalaas'. With her lustrous and perfumed 'shiro kesaas'

were twisted and unwinded, she was ashamed with fear and shiver she had straightaway fallen sobbing at the feet of Nalakubara who had made his expected appearance. He wondered as to why could have ever happened to this ever smart, vivaciuos sprightly and youthful woman all of a sudden. Rambha kept on sobbing with hurt feelings, facial twists and gadgada swaraas: 'Deva! Ravana had just now molested me physically, mentally and psychologically. He is not only a mighty rakshasa without qualms of conscience but also of incincibility in trilokas. I begged him that I am your putra vadhu, kindly spare me and prostrated to him but still he did the 'atyaachaara'! Then Kubera Kumara Nalakubara reddened his eyes, drawing hot breathings was restless. He addressed Ravana thus: 'You dirty old Rakshasa. Yes, am aware that apsarasaas do entice Maharshis for defined goals of 'daivika karyas'. But you had raped Rambha for fun and kamaaturata. I am ashamed that you were born to illustrious family heritage. Rambha was helpless and was never yielding yet you performed the gruesome act and hence you ought be punished'! So saying, Nalakubara drew mantrajalaas into his palms and gave a 'bhayankara shaapa' akāmā tena yasmāt tvain balād bhadre pradharsitā, tasmāt sa yuvatīm anyām nākāmām upayāsyati/ yadā tv akāmām kāmārto dharşayişyati yoşitam, mūrdhā tu saptadhā tasya śakalībhavitā tadā/ Bhadre Rambha! As Rayana has now performed 'atyahara' on you now, similar action of his in future should break his head instantly.' tasminn udāhṛte śāpe jvalitāgnisamaprabhe, devadundubhayo neduḥ puṣpavṛṣṭiś ca khāc cyutā/ prajāpatimukhāś cāpi sarve devāh praharşitāh, jñātvā lokagatim sarvām tasya mṛtyum ca raksasah/śrutvā tu sa daśagrīvas tam śāpam romaharsanam, nārīsu maithunam bhāvam nākāmāsv abhyarocayat/ As he declared thus. Deva dundhubhis were sounded and aakaasha pushpa yarshaas prevailed for long. Prajapati and Deva-Rishi- Pitru ganaas were exhilarated as thereafter, Ravana was indeed afraid of committing 'atyaachaaraas' without consent of the victimised women ever therafter!.

Sarga Twenty Seven

As Ravana sena attacked Indra loka, the latter got confounded ,reached Vishnu who pumped confidence and Vasu, Rudra, Maruds attacked; Savitra Vasu then killed Sumaali as his Rakshasas ran away

Kailāsam langhavitvātha daśagrīvaharāksasah, āsasāda mahātejā indralokam niśācarah/ tasva rāksasasainyasva samantād upayāsyatah, devalokam vavau śabdo bhidyamānārnavopamah/ śrutvā tu rāvaṇam prāptam indraḥ samcalitāsanaḥ, abravīt tatra tān devān sarvān eva samāgatān/ ādityān savasūn rudrān viśvān sādhyān marudganān, sajjībhavata yuddhārtham rāvanasya durātmanah/ evam uktās tu sakrena devāh sakrasamā yudhi, samnahyanta mahāsattvā yuddhasraddhāsamanvitāh/ sa tu dīnah paritrasto mahendro rāvanam prati, visnoh samīpam āgatya vākyam etad uvāca ha/ visno katham karisyāmo mahāvīryaparākrama, asau hi balavān rakso yuddhārtham abhivartate/ varapradānād balavān na khalv anyena hetunā, tac ca satyam hi kartavyam vākyam deva prajāpateh/ tad yathā namucir vṛtro balir narakaśambarau, tvan matam samavaṣṭabhya yathā dagdhās tathā kuru/ na hy anyo deva devānām āpatsu sumahābala, gatih parāyaṇam vāsti tvām rte purusottama/ tvam hi nārāyaṇaḥ śrīmān padmanābhah sanātanah, tvavāham sthāpitas caiva devarājve sanātane/ tad ākhvāhi vathātattvam devadeva mama svayam, asicakrasahāvas tvam vudhyase samvuge ripum/ evam uktah sa śakrena devo nārāyaṇaḥ prabhuḥ, abravīn na paritrāsaḥ kāryas te śrūyatāṁ ca me/ na tāvad eṣa durvṛttaḥ śakyo daivatadānavaih, hantum vudhi samāsādya varadānena durjayah/ sarvathā tu mahat karma karisyati balotkatah, raksah putrasahāyo 'sau dṛṣtam etan nisargatah' bravīsi yat tu mām śakra saṃyuge yotsyasīti ha, naivāham pratiyotsve tam rāvanam rāksasādhipam/anihatya ripum visnur na hi pratinivartate, durlabhaś caişa kāmo 'dya varam āsādya rākṣase/ pratijānāmi devendra tvatsamīpam śatakrato, rākṣasasyāham evāsya bhavitā mṛtyukāraṇam/ aham enam vadhiṣyāmi rāvaṇam sasutam yudhi, devatās toşayişyāmi jñātvā kālam upasthitam/ etasminn antare nādaḥ śuśruve rajanīkṣaye, tasya rāvaṇasainyasya prayuddhasya samantatah/ atha yuddham samabhavad devarāksasayos tadā, ghoram tumulanirhrādam nānāpraharanāvudham/ etasminn antare śūrā rāksasā ghoradarśanāh/ vuddhārtham abhvadhāvanta sacivā rāvanājñayā/ mārīcas ca prahastas ca mahāpārsvamahodarau, akampano nikumbhas ca sukah sāraņa eva ca/ samhrādir dhūmaketuś ca mahādamstro mahāmukhaḥ, jambumālī mahāmālī virūpākṣaś ca rāksasah/ etaih sarvair mahāvīryair vrto rāksasapumgavah, rāvanasvāryakah sainvam sumālī

praviveśa ha/ sa hi devaganān sarvān nānāpraharanaih śitaih, vidhvamsayati samkruddhah saha taih ksanadācaraih/ etasminn antare śūro vasūnām astamo vasuh, sāvitra iti vikhyātah praviveśa mahāranam/ tato yuddham samabhavat surāṇām rākṣasaiḥ saha, kruddhānām rakṣasām kīrtim samareṣv anivartinām/ tatas te rākṣasāḥ śūrā devāms tān samare sthitān, nānāpraharaṇair ghorair jaghnuḥ śatasahasraśaḥ/ surās tu rāksasān ghorān mahāvīryān svatejasā, samare vividhaih śastrair anavan yamasādanam/ etasminn antare śūraḥ sumālī nāma rākṣasaḥ, nānāpraharaṇaiḥ kruddho raṇam evābhyavartata/ devānām tad balam sarvam nānāpraharaṇaiḥ śitaiḥ, vidhvamsayati samkruddho vāyur jaladharān iva/ te mahābāṇavarṣaiś ca śūlaiḥ prāsaiś ca dāruṇaiḥ, pīḍyamānāḥ surāḥ sarve na vyatiṣṭhan samāhitāḥ/ tato vidrāvyamānesu tridaśesu sumālinā, vasūnām astamo devah sāvitro vyavatisthata/ samvrtah svair anīkais tu praharantam niśācaram, vikramena mahātejā vārayām āsa samyuge/ sumattayos tayor āsīd yuddham loke sudārunam, sumālino vasoś caiva samaresv anivartinoh/ tatas tasya mahābānair vasunā sumahātmanā, mahān sa pannagarathah ksanena vinipātitah/ hatvā tu saṃyuge tasya ratham bānaśataih śitaiḥ, gadām tasya vadhārthāya vasur jagrāha pāṇinā/ tām pradīptām pragrhyāśu kāladaṇḍanibhām śubhām, tasya mūrdhani sāvitrah sumāler vinipātayat/ tasya mūrdhani solkābhā patantī ca tadā babhau, sahasrāksasamutsrstā girāv iva mahāśanih/ tasva naivāsthi kāvo vā na māmsam dadrše tadā, gadavā bhasmasādbhūto raņe tasmin nipātitaḥ/ tam dṛṣṭvā nihatam samkhye rākṣasās te samantataḥ, dudruvuḥ sahitāh sarve krośamānā mahāsvanam/

Having been humiliated by the curse of Nalakubara in saving the womanhood from 'atyaachaaraas', Ravana decided to attack Indraloka as the pushpaka vimana got diverted from kailasa. As having realised of Ravana's attack, Indra alerted Adityas-Vasus-Rudras-Sandhyas and Marudganaas to get readied for the attack. Indra got nervous and approached Vishnu Deva and bemoaned that Brahma Deva varaas to Ravana had caused that interminable problems. Indra stated that in the past too there were severe difficulties faced the celestial worlds as from Namuchi-Vritrasura-Bali- Narkas ura- Shambara and the like. Thus these issues had been faced by him and devas and as such this problem of Rayana got intensified once again, albiet in a much larger manner. Devaadhi Deva, now this latest issue appears to have been revived, in fact assuming a much larger proportion.' As Indra got nervous, Vishna rerplied cooly: 'Deva Raja! don't you get excited and nervous in this manner. First of all, devaasuras together would not be able to face Rayana due to the boons, and further the brothers and sons do have been getting encouraged. I suggest this that you along with the devaas might battle them first as at this particular stage I am not inclined to interfere. Yet, Devendra at the appropriate time, I must be the one to interfere and vindicate victory. My present advice therfore would be to face the enemy with all your dedication and firm decisiveness as of now.' Thereafter, rudras-adityas-vasus -marud ganaas and ashwini kumaaraas, besides the anya deva ganaas srood out the portals of amaraavati benig readied for defence. As the day had passed, at the next morning there occurred the deva-rakshasa samgrama. Maricha, Prahasta, Maha paarshva, Mahodara, Akampana, Nikumbha, Shuka, Saarana, Samhlaada, Dhumaktu, Maha damshta, Ghatodara, Jambumaali, Mahaahlaada, Virurupaksha, Supaghna- Yagjnakopa, Durmukha, Dushana, Khara, Trishira, Karayeeraaksha, Suryashatru, Mahakaaya, Atikaaya, Devantaka, Naraantaka had already got readied for the attack in enormous intrepidity and unreserved self onfidence. Then eighth of the Ashta Vasu named Savitra entered the battle grounds. Thereafter the Aditi Putras Twashta and Pusha with their respective followers entered the battle. Then ensued Deva-Rakshasa yuddha. Sumali named rakshasa then got infuriated and made use of 'naana prakara ayudhas' and had the devaas bewildereed. As Sumali made use of several ayudhas, Savitra Deva blasted Sumali mastaka and with his further lightning like hard hits Sumali body flesh came out and exhibited itself and that group of Sumali's following fled away frighterned.

Sarga Twenty Eight

As Puloma daitya joined Ravana sena, the latter got fortified, yet Indra putra Jayanta joined in- Rudra Marudganaas attacked Meghanaada- Ravana entered as Indra too- mutual maha yuddha gor initiated.

Sumālinam hatam drstvā vasunā bhasmasātkrtam, vidrutam cāpi svam sainyam laksayitvārditam saraih/ tatah sa balayān kruddho rāyanasya suto yudhi, niyartya rāksasān saryān meghanādo yyatisthata/ sa rathenāgnivarņena kāmagena mahārathah, abhidudrāva senām tām vanāny agnir iva jvalan/ tatah praviśatas tasya vividhāyudhadhāriṇaḥ, vidudruvur diśaḥ sarvā devās tasya ca darśanāt/ na tatrāvasthitah kaś cid rane tasva vuvutsatah, sarvān āvidhva vitrastān drstvā śakro 'bhvabhāsata/ na bhetavyam na gantavyam nivartadhvam ranam prati, eşa gacchati me putro yuddhārtham aparājitah/ tataḥ śakrasuto devo jayanta iti viśrutaḥ, rathenādbhutakalpena samgrāmam abhivartata/ tatas te tridaśāh sarve parivārva śacīsutam, rāvanasva sutam vuddhe samāsādva vvavasthitāh/ tesām vuddham mahad abhūt sadrsam devaraksasām, krte mahendraputrasya rāksasendrasutasya ca/ tato mātaliputre tu gomukhe rāksasātmajah, sārathau pātayām āsa śarān kāñcanabhūsanān/ śacīsutas tv api tathā jayantas tasya sārathim, tam caiva rāvaņim kruddhaḥ pratyavidhyad raṇājire/ tataḥ kruddho mahātejā rakṣo visphāriteksanah, rāvanih śakraputram tam śaravarsair avākirat/ tatah pragrhya śastrāni sāravanti mahānti ca, śataghnīs tomarān prāsān gadākhadgaparaśvadhān, sumahānty adriśrngāni pātayām āsa rāvaṇih/ tataḥ pravyathitā lokāḥ samjajñe ca tamo mahat, tasya rāvaṇaputrasya tadā śatrūn abhighnatah/ tatas tad daiyatabalam samantāt tam śacīsutam, bahuprakāram asvastham tatra tatra sma dhāvati/ nābhyajānams tadānyonyam śatrūn vā daivatāni vā, tatra tatra viparyastam samantāt paridhāvitam/ etasminn antare śūraḥ pulomā nāma vīryavān, daiteyas tena samgrhya śacīputro 'pavāhitah/ grhītvā taṁ tu naptāraṁ pravistah sa mahodadhim mātāmaho 'ryakas tasva paulomī yena sā śacī/ pranāśam drśya tu surā jayantasyātidārunam, vyathitāś cāprahṛstāś ca samantād vipradudruvuh/ rāvaņis tv atha samhrsto balaih parivṛtah svakaih, abhyadhāvata devāms tān mumoca ca mahāsvanam/ dṛṣṭvā praṇāśam putrasya rāvaṇeś cāpi vikramam, mātalim prāha devendro rathaḥ samupanīyatām/ sa tu divyo mahābhīmah sajja eva mahārathah, upasthito mātalinā vāhyamāno manojavah/ tato meghā rathe tasmims tadidvanto mahāsvanāḥ, agrato vāyucapalā gacchanto vyanadams tadā/ nānāvādyāni vādyanta stutayaś ca samāhitāh, nanṛtuś cāpsarahsamghāh prayāte vāsave ranam/ rudrair vasubhir ādityaih sādhyaiś ca samarudganaih, vrto nānāpraharanair niryayau tridaśādhipah/ nirgacchatas tu śakrasya parusam pavano vavau, bhāskaro nisprabhaś cāsīn maholkāś ca prapedire/ etasminn antare śūro daśagrīvah pratāpavān, āruroha ratham divyam nirmitam viśvakarmaṇā/ pannagaiḥ sumahākāyair vestitam lomaharşanaih, yeşām niśvāsavātena pradīptam iva samyugam/daityair niśācaraih śūrai rathah samparivāritah, samarābhimukho divvo mahendram abhivartata/ putram tam vāravitvāsau svavam eva vyavasthitaḥ, so 'pi yuddhād viniṣkramya rāvaṇiḥ samupāviśat/ tato yuddham pravṛttam tu surāṇām rāksasaih saha, śastrābhivarsanam ghoram meghānām iva samyuge/ kumbhakarnas tu dustātmā nānāpraharanodyatah, nājñāyata tadā yuddhe saha kenāpy ayudhyata/ dantair bhujābhyām padbhyām ca śaktitomarasāyakaih, yena kenaiva samrabdhas tādayām āsa vai surān/ tato rudrair mahābhāgaih sahādityair nisācarah, prayuddhas tais ca samgrāme krttah sastrair nirantaram tatas tad rāksasam sainyam tridaśaih samarudganaih, rane vidrāvitam sarvam nānāpraharanaih śitaih/ ke cid vinihatāh śastrair veṣṭanti sma mahītale, vāhaneṣv avasaktāś ca sthitā evāpare raṇe/ rathān nāgān kharān uṣṭrān pannagāms turagāms tathā, śimśumārān varāhāms ca pisācavadanāms tathā/ tān samālingya bāhubhyām vistabdhāh ke cid ucchritāh, devais tu śastrasamviddhā mamrire ca niśācarāh/ citrakarma ivābhāti sa tesām ranasamplavah, nihatānām pramattānām rāksasānām mahītale/ sonitodaka nisvandākanka grdhrasamākulā, pravrttā samyugamukhe śastragrāhavatī nadī/ etasminn antare kruddho daśagrīvaḥ pratāpavān, nirīksva tad balam sarvam daivatair vinipātitam/ sa tam pratīvigāhvāśu pravrddham sainyasāgaram, tridaśān samare nighnañ śakram evābhyavartata/Tatah Shakro mahacchapam visphaarya sumahasvanam, yasya visphaarayaighoshah stanati sma dishodashaa / tathaiva cha mahaabaahurdashagreevo nishaacharah, Shatram kaamarmuka vibhrashthai shara varshairavaakirat/ rayudhyatoratha tayorbaana varshaih samantatah, naagjnaayat tadaa kinchat sarvahi tapaaa vritam/

As Rakshasa Sumali was killed by Saavitra Vasu Deva and the rakshasaas were running away from the battle, Meghanaada got furious and having recalled and regrouped the rakshasa sena got readied to challenge the Deva Sena. As some of the Devas saw that Meghanada was facing them, some of his own Devaas got apprehensive and retarded their pace with hesitation and some had even receded. Indra addressed them not to be afraid and to face Meghanaada. Rayana Kumara then initiated rains of his

arrows on Jayanta the Matali putra as the charioteer of Indra. Jayanta was hurt severely as being 'angakshata vikshata' Then Meghanaada having become furious released thousnads of arrows on the deva sena. Furthher, he released hurlings of shataghnis-musalas- praasas, gadaas, khadgas and pharashrayas, besides parvata shikhiras. Deva samuhas were injured and terribly upset. tatah pravyathitā lokāh samjajñe ca tamo mahat, tasya rāyanaputrasya tadā śatrūn abhighnatah/ tatas tad daiyatabalam samantāt tam śacīsutam, bahuprakāram asvastham tatra tatra sma dhāvati/ nābhyajānams tadānyonyam śatrūn vā daivatāni vā, tatra tatra viparyastam samantāt paridhāvitam/ With a view to devastate dava shatru senaas, Meghanaada by his 'maaya' created darkness all around as deva samuhas were hit and got hurt as tossed by the rakshasas. In fact the darkness so created made it difficult to identify as to who was a rakshasa or deva. It was in that situation that daitya raja Puloma entered into the battle. He was the maternal grand father of Meghanada- the father of Ravana's wife Shachi Devi - to help his grandson Meghanaada. On learning of the late arrivals to help Meghanaada, deva samuhas were further felt as the confusion of darkness was further got confounded and retorted back. Encouraged by the new arrivals., Meghanaada went berserk and deva samuhas were flustered further, Deva sena was in shock waves. That was at that extremely critical time when Indra asked Matali the charioteer to bring his divya ratha. As Indra moved on, 'prachanda vaayu teekshanata' was intensified. Rudra- Vasu-Aditya- Marudgana-Ashvini Kumaras too accompaniewd in their respecive full forces. It was at that very time, Dashagriva Ravana too moved on by his chariot made by Vishva Karma. daityair niśācaraih śūrai rathah samparivāritah, samarābhimukho divyo mahendram abhivartata/ putram tam vārayitvāsau svayam eva vyavasthitah, so 'pi yuddhād vinişkramya rāvanih samupāviśat/ tato yuddham pravrttam tu surānām rākṣasaiḥ saha, śastrābhivarṣaṇam ghoram meghānām iva samyuge/Led by the Daitya Nishachara maha senaas Ravana ratha thus confronted the Indra ratha. As Ravana himself facedIndra, Meghanada kept quiet on sideways of the battle. Again thus Deva-Rakshasa battle broke out with mutual 'baana varshas'. Kumbhakarnas tu dustātmā nānā -praharanodyatah, nājñāyata tadā yuddhe saha kenāpy ayudhyata/ dantair bhujābhyām padbhyām ca śaktitomarasāyakaih, yena kenaiva samrabdhas tādayām āsa vai surān/ tato rudrair mahābhāgaih sahādityair niśācarah, prayuddhas taiś ca saṃgrāme kṛttah śastrair nirantaram/. Agastya Maha Muni the exclaimed to Shri Rama 'Raja! Dushtatma Kumbhakarna had fought with naanaa astra-shastraas; grinding his teeth, sweeping enemies by his feet, shoulders, hands, and by shakti-tomara-mudgaraadi ayudhas against deva ganaas. Kumbhakarna's entire massive body was full of 'rakta dhaaraas' as he kept on howling. tatas tad rākṣasaṁ sainyaṁ tridaśaiḥ samarudganaih, rane vidrāvitam sarvam nānāpraharanaih śitaih/ke cid vinihatāh śastrair vestanti sma mahītale, vāhaneşv avasaktāś ca sthitā evāpare raņe/ Thereafter, Rudra Marudganaas with their astra shastra prahaaraas made rakshasaas run back. Indeed, how many nichacharaas were killed, how many still survived with 'anga vaikaya' were unable to run back! Many rakshsas as having survived were stunned seated on chariots, elephants, donkeys, camels, hoods of sarpas, horses, pigs and on pishachaas; several were in 'moorchaavastha' and on recovery running far back for survival. Meanwhile, Dashagriva was awfully enraged yet Indra drew across his dhanush and made a high sounded 'thankaara dhwani' which got resounded all across the dasha dishaas. Both Indra and Ravana then initiated baana varshaas mutually. tathaiva cha mahaabaahurdashagreevo nishaacharah, Shatram kaamarmuka vibhrashthai shara varshairavaakirat/ rayudhyatoratha tayorbaana varshaih samantatah, naagjnaayat tadaa kinchat sarvahi tapaaa vritam/As Indra hit Ravana's head as of 'agni-surya samaana tejas', nishachara Ravana filled up his potent arrows which had totally covered up Indra from head to foot. Meanwhile darkness prevailed all over and the baana varshas were hardly visible.

Sarga Twenty Nine

After initial victories of Indra's Deva Sena, Ravana was frustrated, yet Meghanaada advised his father to withdraw from battle and by the aid of his maaya imprisoned Indra and took him to Ravana to Lankapuri.

Tatas tamasi samjāte rākṣasā daivataiḥ saha, ayudhyanta balonmattāḥ sūdayantaḥ parasparam/ tatas tu devasainyena rākṣasānām mahad balam, daśāmśam sthāpitam yuddhe śeṣam nītam yamakṣayam/

tasmims tu tamasā naddhe sarve te devarāksasāh, anyonyam nābhyajānanta yudhyamānāh parasparam/ indraś ca rāvanaś caiva rāvaniś ca mahābalah, tasmims tamojālavrte moham īvur na te trayah/ sa tu dṛṣṭvā balam sarvam nihatam rāvano raṇe, krodham abhyāgamat tīvram mahānādam ca muktavān/ krodhāt sūtam ca durdharṣaḥ syandanastham uvāca ha/ parasainyasya madhyena yāvadantam nayasva mām/ advaitāms tridaśān sarvān vikramaih samare svavam, nānāśastrair mahāsārair nāśavāmi nabhastalāt/ aham indram vadhisyāmi varuṇam dhanadam yamam, tridaśān vinihatyāśu svayam sthāsyāmy athopari/viṣādo na ca kartavyaḥ śīghram vāhaya me ratham, dviḥ khalu tvām bravīmy adya vāvadantam navasva mām/ avam sa nandanoddešo vatra vartāmahe vavam, nava mām adva tatra tvam udayo yatra parvatah/ tasya tadvacanam śrutvā turagān sa manojavān, ādideśātha śatrūnām madhyenaiva ca sārathih/ tasva tam niścayam jñātvā śakro deveśvaras tadā, rathasthah samarasthāms tān devān vākyam athābravīt/ surāh śrnuta madvākyam yat tāvan mama rocate, jīvann eva daśagrīvah sādhu rakso nigrhyatām/ esa hy atibalah sainye rathena pavanaujasā, gamisyati prayrddhormih samudra iva parvani/ na hy eşa hantum śakyo 'dya varadānāt sunirbhayaḥ, tad grahīsyāmahe rakşo yattā bhavata samvuge/ vathā balim nigrhvaitat trailokvam bhujvate mavā, evam etasva pāpasva nigraho mama rocate/ tato 'nyam deśam āsthāya śakrah samtyajya rāvanam, ayudhyata mahātejā rāksasān nāśayan rane/ uttarena daśagrīvah praviveśānivartitah, dakṣinena tu pārśvena praviveśa śatakratuh/ tataḥ sa yojanaśatam pravisto rākṣasādhipaḥ, devatānām balam krtsnam śaravarṣair avākirat/ tataḥ śakro nirīksyātha pravistam tam balam svakam, nyavartayad asambhrāntah samāvrtya daśānanam/ etasminn antare nādo mukto dānavarāksasaih, hā hatāh smeti tam dṛstvā grastam śakrena rāvanam/ tato ratham samāruhya rāvaṇih krodhamūrchitaḥ, tat sainyam atisamkruddhaḥ praviveśa sudāruṇam/sa tām praviśya māyām tu dattām gopatinā purā, adrśvah sarvabhūtānām tat sainvam samavākirat/ tatah sa devān samtyajya śakram evābhyayād drutam, mahendraś ca mahātejā na dadarśa sutam ripoh/ sa mātalim hayāms caiva tādayitvā sarottamaih, mahendram bānavarsena sīghrahasto hy avākirat/ tatah sakro ratham tyaktva visrjya ca sa mātalim, airāvatam samāruhya mṛgayām āsa rāvanim sa tu māyā balād raksah samgrāme nābhyadrśyata, kiramānah śaraughena mahendram amitaujasam/ sa tam yadā pariśrāntam indram mene 'tha rāvanih, tadainam māyayā baddhvā svasainyam abhito 'nayat/ tam dṛṣṭvātha balāt tasmin māyayāpahṛtam raṇe, mahendram amarāḥ sarve kim nv etad iti cukruśuḥ, na hi drśyati vidyāyān māyayā yena nīyate/ etasminn antare cāpi sarve suraganās tadā, abhyadrayan susamkruddhā rāvanam śastravrstibhih/ rāvanas tu samāsādva vasvāditvamarudganān, na śaśāka rane sthātum na yoddhum śastrapīḍitaḥ/ tam tu dṛṣṭvā pariśrāntam prahārair jarjaracchavim, rāvaṇiḥ pitaram yuddhe 'darśanastho 'bravīd idam/ āgaccha tāta gacchāvo nivrttam ranakarma tat, jitam te viditam bho 'stu svastho bhava gatajvarah/ ayaṁ hi surasainyasya trailokyasya ca yah prabhuh, sa grhīto mayā śakro bhagnamānāh surāh krtāh/ yathestam bhunksva trailokyam nigrhya ripum ojasā, vrthā te kim śramam kṛtvā yuddham hi tava nisphalam/ sa daivatabalāt tasmān nivṛtto ranakarmanah, tac chrutvā rāvaner vākyam svasthacetā daśānanaḥ/ atha raṇavigatajvaraḥ prabhur; vijayam avāpya niśācarādhipaḥ, bhavanam abhi tato jagāma hṛṣṭaḥ; svasutam avāpya ca vākyam abravīt/ atibalasadṛśaih parākramais tair; mama kulamānavivardhanam kṛtam, yad amarasamavikrama tvayā; tridaśapatis tridaśāś ca nirjitāh/ tvaritam upanayasya vāsayam; nagaram ito vraja sainvasamyrtah, aham api tava gacchato drutam; saha sacivair anuyāmi pṛṣṭhataḥ/ atha sa balavṛtaḥ savāhanas; tridaśapatim parigṛhya rāvaṇiḥ, svabhavanam upagamya rākṣaso; muditamanā visasarja rākṣasān/

Even as darkness prevailed, Deva Rakshasaas continued their 'paraspara yuddha'. There however appeared that only ten percent of rakshasa sena survived on the battlefield as apparently the rest disappeared as were despatched to yama loka! In fact neither of the opponents was able to recognise each other properly. Only Indra, Ravana and Ravana putra appeared unaffected despite the darkness all over. Ravana realised that hardly a part of his sena remained existing. Then he asked his charioteer to position his ratha in the midst of what ever rakshasaas were present. He asserted then that he sure should destroy Indra-Kubera-Varuna and Yama. Accordingly, the Ravana ratha sarathi followed his instruction. Then Indra addressed the deva ganaas: surāh śrnuta madvākyam yat tāvan mama rocate, jīvann eva daśagrīvah sādhu rakṣo nigṛhyatām/ eṣa hy atibalah sainye rathena pavanaujasā, gamiṣyati pravṛddhormih samudra iva paryani/ na hy esa hantum śakvo 'dva varadānāt sunirbhayah, tad grahīsvāmahe rakso vattā bhavata

samyuge/ yathā balim nigrhyaitat trailokyam bhujyate mayā, evam etasya pāpasya nigraho mama rocate/ 'Attention devataas! I would be happy if Ravana be imprisoned as most of his sena was a casuality. Surely his plan should be to suddenly attack us with 'maha vaayu vega' as on a full moon day, the samudras are flustered. We might not be able to kill him anyway, in view of Brahma vaaraas to him, but catch him and hold him to his great embarassment and even harassment!. That kind of treatment to him should be a confirmed and ever possible treatment to him'!' yathā balim nigrhyaitat trailokyam bhujyate mayā, evam etasya pāpasya nigraho mama rocate/ tato 'nyam deśam āsthāya śakraḥ samtyajya rāvaṇam, ayudhyata mahātejā rākṣasān nāśayan raṇe/ uttareṇa daśagrīvah praviveśānivartitah, daksinena tu pārśvena praviveśa śatakratuh/ This should be possible, addressed Indra to devatas, just like Bali chakravarti was embarrassed by Vamana Deva in the Vamanaavataara of Maha Vishnu!' Shri Rama! That was the plan suggested to Devatas by Indra. Thus Indra stopped his attack on Ravana but intensified his attack on the rest of the rakshasaa. As Rayana appeared to have understood Indra's diverting tactics, Ravana from the northern side of the battle entered the deva sena and initiated an extremely harsh attack on the Deva Sena. tatah sa yojanasatam pravisto rākṣasādhipaḥ, devatānām balam kṛtsnam saravarṣair avākirat/ tatah śakro nirīksvātha pravistam tam balam svakam, nyavartavad asambhrāntah samāvrtva daśānanam/ etasminn antare nādo mukto dānavarākṣasaiḥ, hā hatāḥ smeti tam dṛṣṭvā grastam śakreṇa rāvaṇam/ Deva sena was spread over some hundred yojanas and initiated his severe attack on them. Thus Indra being totally unruffled encountered Ravana. Meanwhile there were yellings of Rakshasaas saying: ' oh, I am being killed'. Then Meghanaada was perturbed and angrily jumped into the devasena. sa tām pravišya māyām tu dattām gopatinā purā, adršyah sarvabhūtānām tat sainyam samavākirat/ tatah sa devān samtvajva šakram evābhvavād drutam, mahendraš ca mahātejā na dadarša sutam ripoh/ sa mātalim hayāms caiva tādayitvā sarottamaih, mahendram bāṇavarṣeṇa sīghrahasto hy avākirat/ tataḥ śakro ratham tyaktva visrjya ca sa mātalim, airāvatam samāruhya mrgayām āsa rāvanim/ Just like Pashupati Maha Deva in the past having entered the Maha Maya as he secured her which was the personification of tamasika guna, Meghanada too jumped into the deva sena. He ignored all the devaas surrounding Indra and straightaway attacked the Shachipati. But the deva samuha around Indra had broken off Meganada's kavacha. Then Ravanaputra attacked Indra's charioteer Matali with his sharp arrows which also had some what harmed Indra Deva. Indra then discarded the chariot and alighted his Iravata elephant. Meghanada due to his maya shakti jumped off and attacked Indra with his sharp baanas. sa tu māyā balād rakṣaḥ saṃgrāme nābhyadṛśyata, kiramāṇaḥ śaraughena mahendram amitaujasam/ sa tam yadā pariśrāntam indram mene 'tha rāvanih, tadainam māyayā baddhvā svasainyam abhito 'nayat/tam drstvātha balāt tasmin māyayāpahrtam rane, mahendram amarāh sarve kim nv etad iti cukruśuh, na hi drśyati vidyāvān māyayā yena nīyate/Having realised that Indra was by now was tired, he tied Indra tight by his maaya shakti and dropped Indra right into the thickness of the group of the rakshasaa sena. Then Devatas wondered as to what might follow! So thinking deep, Devaas attacked Ravana with their baana varshaa. Ravana was rather surprised at this sudden attack on him by the Aditya-Vasu Devataas. rāvaņas tu samāsādya vasvādityamarudgaņān, na śaśāka raņe sthātum na yoddhum śastrapīḍitaḥ/ tam tu drstvā pariśrāntam prahārair jarjaracchavim, rāvanih pitaram vuddhe 'darśanastho 'bravīd idam/ āgaccha tāta gacchāvo nivrttam ranakarma tat, jitam te viditam bho 'stu svastho bhava gatajvarah/ Ravana was then unable to defend himself adequately. On seeing this situation, Meghanada diappeared my his maya shakti and asked him not to strain him but to go away. I should take care of this situation now. ayam hi surasainyasya trailokyasya ca yaḥ prabhuḥ, sa grhīto mayā śakro bhagnamānāḥ surāḥ kṛtāh/ yathestam bhunksva trailokyam nigṛhya ripum ojasā, vṛthā te kim śramam kṛtvā yuddham hi tava nisphalam/Dear father! I should soon enough imprison Indra the so called trilokaadhipati and demolish his arrogance. He has been enjoying all along the status of trikoka chakravarti. Why are you taking the trouble of fighting with him as a waste of your time! As Meghanada stated thus, Ravana returned back. atha raṇavigatajvaraḥ prabhur; vijayam avāpya niśācarādhipaḥ, bhavanam abhi tato jagāma hṛṣṭaḥ; svasutam avāpya ca vākyam abravīt/ atibalasadrsaih parākramais tair; mama kulamānavivardhanam kṛtam, yad amarasamavikrama tvayā; tridaśapatis tridaśāś ca nirjitāh/ As Meghanada did succeed in imprisoning Indra, Ravana exclaimed to his son: 'Samarthashali Suputra! You have successfully displayed your unprecedented fame by your parakrama in imprisoning trilokadhipati Indra and humbled

all the three crores of devatas. Indeed you are today my kulabhushana ever enhancing the prestige of our heritage.tvaritam upanayasva vāsavam; nagaram ito vraja sainyasamvrtaḥ, aham api tava gacchato drutam; saha sacivair anuyāmi pṛṣṭhataḥ/ atha sa balavṛtaḥ savāhanas; tridaśapatim parigṛhya rāvaṇiḥ, svabhavanam upagamya rākṣaso; muditamanā visasarja rākṣasān/ Indrajit Meghanada! Do make Indra the so imprisoned trilokapati seated under duress as the devatas too thus followed and arrive here to Lankapuri at once. I am also rushing forward aling with my ministers to witness the fun. Thus having been instructed by his dear father did so.

Sarga Thirty

Brahma relieved Indra by imprisonment which was a retriburion of Indra's misconduct with Ahalya

Jite mahendre 'tibale rāvaņasya sutena vai, prajāpatim puraskrtya gatā lankām surās tadā/ tam rāvaņam samāsādva putrabhrātrbhir āvrtam, abravīd gagane tisthan sāntvapūrvam prajāpatih/vatsa rāvana tusto 'smi tava putrasya samyuge, aho 'sya vikramaudāryam tava tulyo 'dhiko 'pi vā/ jitam hi bhavatā sarvam trailokyam svena tejasā, kṛtā pratijñā saphalā prīto 'smi svasutena vai ayam ca putro 'tibalas tava rāvaṇarāvaṇiḥ, indrajit tv iti vikhyāto jagaty eṣa bhaviṣyati/ balavāñ śatrunirjetā bhaviṣyaty eṣa rāksasah, yam āśritya tvayā rājan sthāpitās tridaśā vaśe/ tan mucyatām mahābāho mahendrah pākaśāsanah, kim cāsya moksanārthāya prayacchanti divaukasah/ athābravīn mahātejā indrajit samitimjayah, amaratvam aham deva vṛnomīhāsya mokṣaṇe/ abravīt tu tadā devo rāvaṇim kamalodbhavaḥ, nāsti sarvāmaratvam hi keṣām cit prāṇinām bhuvi/ athābravīt sa tatrastham indrajit padmasambhavam, śrūyatām yā bhavet siddhiḥ śatakratuvimokṣane/ mameṣṭam nityaśo deva havyaiḥ sampūjya pāvakam, samgrāmam avatartum vai śatrunirjayakānksinah/ tasmimś ced asamāpte tu japyahome vibhāvasoh, yudhyeyam deva samgrāme tadā me syād vināsanam/ sarvo hi tapasā caiva vrnoty amaratām pumān, vikramena mayā tv etad amaratvam pravartitam/ evam astv iti tam prāha vākyam devah prajāpatih, muktaś cendrajitā śakro gatāś ca tridivam surāh/ etasminn antare śakro dīno bhraṣṭāmbarasrajah, rāma cintāparītātmā dhyānatatparatām gataḥ/ tam tu dṛṣṭvā tathābhūtam prāha devah prajāpatih, śakrakrato kim utkanthām karoṣi smara duṣkṛtam/ amarendra mayā bahvyah prajāḥ sṛṣṭāḥ purā prabho, ekavarṇāḥ samābhāṣā ekarūpāś ca sarvaśaḥ/ tāsām nāsti viśeṣo hi darśane lakṣaṇe 'pi vā, tato 'ham ekāgramanās tāḥ prajāḥ paryacintayam/ so 'ham tāsām viśeṣārtham striyam ekām vinirmame, yad yat prajānām pratyangam viśistam tat tad uddhrtam/ tato mayā rūpagunair ahalyā strī vinirmitā, ahalyety eva ca mayā tasyā nāma pravartitam/ nirmitāyām tu devendra tasyām nāryām surarsabha, bhavisyatīti kasyaisā mama cintā tato 'bhavat/ tvam tu śakra tadā nārīm jānīse manasā prabho, sthānādhikatayā patnī mamaiseti puramdara/ sā mayā nyāsabhūtā tu gautamasya mahātmanah, nyastā bahūni varṣāṇi tena niryātitā ca sā/ tatas tasya parijñāya mayā sthairyam mahāmuneḥ, jñātvā tapasi siddhim ca patnyartham sparśitā tadā/ sa tayā saha dharmātmā ramate sma mahāmunih, āsan nirāśā devās tu gautame dattayā tayā/ tvam kruddhas tv iha kāmātmā gatvā tasyāśramam muneḥ, drstavām's ca tadā tām strīm dīptām agnišikhām iva sā tvavā dharsitā šakra kāmārtena samanvunā, dṛṣṭas tvam ca tadā tena āśrame paramarṣiṇā/ tataḥ kruddhena tenāsi śaptaḥ paramatejasā, gato 'si yena devendra daśābhāgaviparyayam/ yasmān me dharṣitā patnī tvayā vāsava nirbhayam, tasmāt tvam samare rājañ śatruhastam gamisyasi/ ayam tu bhāvo durbuddhe yas tvayeha pravartitah, mānusesv api sarvesu bhavisyati na samsayah/ tatrādharmah subalavān samutthāsyati yo mahān, tatrārdham tasya yah kartā tvayy ardham nipatisyati/na ca te sthāvaram sthānam bhavisyati puramdara, etenādharmayogena yas tvayeha pravartitah/ yaś ca yaś ca surendrah syād dhruvah sa na bhavisyati, eṣa śāpo mayā mukta ity asau tvām tadābravīt/ tām tu bhāryām vinirbhartsya so 'bravīt sumahātapāḥ, durvinīte vinidhvamsa mamāśramasamīpataḥ/ rūpayauvanasampannā yasmāt tvam anavasthitā, tasmād rūpavatī loke na tvam ekā bhavişyasi/ rūpam ca tat prajāḥ sarvā gamişyanti sudurlabham, yat tavedam samāśritya vibhrame 'yam upasthitah/ tadā prabhṛti bhūyistham prajā rūpasamanvitāh, śāpotsargād dhi tasyedam muneh sarvam upāgatam/ tat smara tvam mahābāho duskṛtam yat tvayā kṛtam, yena tvam grahanam śatror gato nānyena vāsava/ śīghram yajasva yajñam tvam vaiṣṇavam susamāhitaḥ, pāvitas tena yajñena yāsyasi tridivam tatah/ putraś ca tava devendra na vinasto mahārane, nītah samnihitaś caiva arvakena

mahodadhau/ etac chrutvā mahendras tu yajñam iṣṭvā ca vaiṣṇavam, punas tridivam ākrāmad anvaśāsac ca devatāḥ/ etad indrajito rāma balaṁ yat kīrtitaṁ mayā, nirjitas tena devendraḥ prāṇino 'nye ca kiṁ punaḥ/

Meghanaada had thus having imprisoned Devendra and taken to Lankapuri, Brahma appeared near Ravana and addressed Ravana: 'Vatsa Ravana! I was delighted at the 'dhairya saahsaas' of your dear son'. ayam ca putro 'tibalas tava rāvaṇarāvaṇiḥ, indrajit tv iti vikhyāto jagaty eṣa bhaviṣyati/ Your proud son is ideed 'atishaya balashali parakrami' should be titled now on as Indrajit! Rakshasa Raja! Indeed Indrajit had humiliated samasta devataas too. tan mucyatām mahābāho mahendrah pākaśāsanah, kim cāsya moksanārthāya prayacchanti divaukasah/ athābravīn mahātejā indrajit samitimjayah, amaratvam aham deva vṛnomīhāsya moksane/ Mahabaaho Ravana! Now I suggest the Paakashaana Indra may be freed, and for that gesture, may a request from me be made in return as of my boon for consideration. Then Indrajit intervened: Brahma Deva! If we were to free Indra, may I seek 'amaratva'! Brahma replied: Son! On the entire bhutala, srava pranis could never be blessed with deathlessness for ever. mamestam nityaśo deva havyaih sampūjya pāvakam, samgrāmam avatartum vai śatrunirjavakānksinah/ tasmimś ced asamāpte tu japyahome vibhāvasoḥ, yudhyeyam deva samgrāme tadā me syād vināśanam/ sarvo hi tapasā caiva vṛṇoty amaratām pumān, vikrameṇa mayā tv etad amaratvam pravartitam/ evam astv iti tam prāha vākyam devah prajāpatih, muktaś cendrajitā śakro gatāś ca tridivam surāh/ Then Indrajit replied: ' Bhagavan! If 'amaratva' is not possible, may I make an alternate boon: 'May be then bestowed with an alternate boon: 'may this be in myown case be blessed with the boon of invincibility once I follow the prescribed dharma niyamas perform 'mantrayukta havyaahutis' with veneration to Agni Deva and ascend a chariot with horses as having been seated, none in the universe be able to desroy me on a battle. His indeed is my considered boon for your boon to be granted'. Then Brahma assured while saying 'tathaastu' or may that be so' and disappeared!' etasminn antare śakro dīno bhraṣṭāmbarasrajaḥ, rāma cintāparītātmā dhyānatatparatām gatah/ tam tu dṛṣtvā tathābhūtam prāha devah prajāpatih, śakrakrato kim utkanthām karosi smara duskṛtam/ amarendra mayā bahvyah prajāh sṛstāh purā prabho, ekavarnāh samābhāṣā ekarūpāś ca sarvaśah/Agastya Mahamuni then further explained to Shri Rama that having been humiliated by Indrajit and relieved by Brahma, Indra felt extremely sad as Brahma made his reappearance out of pity to assuage Indras's psyche and addressed him: 'Shatakrato! As you are now feeling miserable, may I recall your previous sinfulness of the past. tāsām nāsti višeşo hi daršane lakṣaṇe 'pi vā, tato 'ham ekāgramanās tāh prajāh paryacintayam/ so 'haṁ tāsāṁ viśesārthaṁ striyam ekāṁ vinirmame, yad yat prajānām pratyangam višistam tat tad uddhrtam/ tato mayā rūpagunair ahalyā strī vinirmitā, ahalyety eva ca mayā tasyā nāma pravartitam/ Deva Raja! When in the remote past when I created various beings they had of the same physical formation, way of speech, and of similar behavioural patterns. Then I felt I should have created women of dissimilar distinctiveness, as some were beautiful and some otherwise. Of the superior womanhood, there were named as 'Ahalya' and the most inferior womanhood were called 'Halya'.nirmitāyām tu devendra tasyām nāryām surarṣabha, bhaviṣyatīti kasvaisā mama cintā tato 'bhavat/ tvam tu śakra tadā nārīm jānīse manasā prabho, sthānādhikatavā patnī mamaiseti puramdara/ sā mavā nyāsabhūtā tu gautamasya mahātmanah, nyastā bahūni yarsāni tena niryātitā ca sā/ Devendra! As the strees were classified thus, I wondered as to how the superior womanhood be wedded to the equally superior manhood be created. Then I had arranged the handing over of Ahalya with Maharshi Goutama in his care.tatas tasya parijñāya mayā sthairyam mahāmuneh, jñātvā tapasi siddhim ca patnyartham sparśitā tadā/ sa tayā saha dharmātmā ramate sma mahāmuniḥ,āsan nirāśā devās tu gautame dattayā tayā/ tvam kruddhas tv iha kāmātmā gatvā tasyāśramam muneh, drstavāms ca tadā tām strīm dīptām agnisikhām iva/Maharshi Goutama maintained his 'mano nigrah' and thus asked him to accept the kanya as his wife for furthering the process of generations. Dharmatma Goutama had thus carried on with conjugal life with contentment thereafter. As the couple were thus engaged in happy contentment, Devatas were rather disappointed. Brahma further reminded Indra of his anger and his 'kaama vaancha' got fanned up. sā tvayā dharsitā śakra kāmārtena samanyunā, drstas tvam ca tadā tena āśrame paramarsinā/ tatah kruddhena tenāsi śaptaḥ paramatejasā, gato 'si vena devendra daśābhāgaviparyayam/ yasmān me dharsitā patnī tvavā vāsava nirbhayam,

tasmāt tvam samare rājañ śatruhastam gamisyasi/ Indra! Your extremity of physical lustfulness was such as you made 'balaatkaara' of Ahalya as Gautami Muni saw you in his 'ashrama' and gave a 'shaapa' to you and that has now caused you in this situation now of disgrace as a retribution for your sinful activity. Maha Muni Goutama cursed you shouting at you: 'Vaasava! Shakra! With neither shame nor fear, you had molested my wife and hence you would be humiliated by your enemies. avain tu bhāvo durbuddhe yas tvayeha pravartitaḥ, mānuṣeṣv api sarveṣu bhaviṣyati na samsayaḥ/ tatrādharmaḥ subalavān samutthāsyati yo mahān, tatrārdham tasya yaḥ kartā tvayy ardham nipatisyati/ na ca te sthāvaram sthānam bhavisyati puramdara, etenādharmavogena vas tvaveha pravartitah/ Durbuddhe! As you as the Deva Raja too was obsessed with physical lust, manushyaas too are following your degenarated mentality likewise and surely you have set this ugly precedence. yaś ca yaś ca surendrah syād dhruvah sa na bhavisyati, esa śāpo mayā mukta ity asau tvām tadābravīt/ tām tu bhāryām vinirbhartsya so 'bravīt sumahātapāh, durvinīte vinidhvamsa mamāśramasamīpatah/ Now on none so ever would attain the status of Indratva should be lasting for long. My curse would hence be valid for Indratva only.' Having cursed her thus, Goutama Maharshi addressed Devi Ahalya!: 'Dushte! You should get lost from my ashram and lose your physical charm and attractiveness as you would be bereft of it totally. rūpayauvanasampannā yasmāt tvam anavasthitā, tasmād rūpavatī loke na tvam ekā bhavişyasi/ rūpam ca tat prajāh sarvā gamişyanti sudurlabham, yat tavedam samāśritya vibhrame 'yam upasthitaḥ/ Your erstwhile rupa soundarya was the root cause of Indra's 'kamonmattata', and now onward that very rupa soundarya would be given away distributed to the future generations of strees. Thereafter as the Goutami Maharshi gave her the curse, as the strees all over the creation gained their sheen, Ahalya replied: 'Vipravara Brahmarshi! Deva Raja assumed your own swarupa and spoilt me and I had never ever done so volunrarily on my own and I had genuinely believed that it was you, and hence be ever kind to me. As Ahalya entreated her, Goutama had somewhat cooled down and replied: Bhadre! In the future times, in the Ikshvaku vamsha, there wiuld be a Maha Purusha named Shri Rama, who would be an incarnation of Maha Vishnu Himself. He would then be taken to the tapo vanaas and relieve your being a rock form and have your physical form purified and later on you could join me for good.' As Brahma Deva addressed Indra thus reminding him of Indra thus said: Tenatwam grahanam shatroryaato naanyena Vaasava, sheeghram vai yaja yagjnam tvam Vaishnavam susamaahitah/putras ca tava devendra na vinasto mahārane, nītah samnihitas caiva arvakena mahodadhau/ etac chrutyā mahendras tu vajñam istvā ca vaisnavam, punas tridivam ākrāmad anvaśāsac ca devatāḥ/ etad indrajito rāma balam yat kīrtitam mayā, nirjitas tena devendraḥ prānino 'nye ca kim punah/ Vaasava! That imprisinment of you by Indrajit was therefore was due to that retributory background and hence you may perform Vaishnava yagjna dutifully for relief and get your Indratva restored afresh. Having ben directed by Brahma thus, Deva Raja Indra did the 'Vaishthava Yagina anushthaana' for his restoration to Indratva.

[Refreshed Vishleshana on Indra's misconduct with Ahalya an exemplary Paivrata vide Sarga Forty Eight of Valmiki Baala Ramayana- and Ganesha Purana.

In the city of Mithila, there was an 'ashram' about which Maharshi Vishvamitra explained to Rama Lakshmanas; the ashram was of Maharshi <u>Gautama and his wife Devi Ahalya a famed Parivrata</u> in the days of yore. It was at this Ashram that Gautama cursed Indra as the latter <u>masqueraded as Gautama; the Maya Gautama</u> in the absence of real <u>Gautama stated to Ahalya Devi</u>: *Ritukālam pratīkṣante nārthinaḥ susamāhite, samgamam tv aham icchāmi tvayā saha sumadhyame*/ 'Normally, males approach their wives to bed till their menses period is over, but today, I would like you to lie with me'. But Ahalya sensed the presence of Indra in the form of Gautama but still yeilded and asked Indra to disappear at once. Maharshi Vishvamitra continued to Rama Lakshmanas: Having sensed what had just happened between Maya Gautama and Ahalya, Gautama appeared at the ashram by his mystic powers and intercepted Indra at once at the ashram with 'samidhaas and tirtha' viz. wooden chips and water for igniting fire and sprinkling water readied for announcing a 'shaapa'. Deva Raja Indra got shaken up with fright at the anger of the Maharshi as the latter announced: *Mama rūpam samāsthāya kṛtavān asi durmate, akartavyam idam yasmād viphalas tvam bhavisyati/ gautamenaivam uktasya saroṣena mahātmanā*,

petatur vṛṣaṇau bhūmau sahasrākṣasya tatkṣaṇāt/ Durmati! You have had the audacity of assuming my form and lured my wife to bed; therefore you would be as being 'sahasraaksa' with thousand eyes and as many of frightful forms as also beinbg devoid of 'anda kosha' or the sheath of fertility; instantly that body part fell on earth and he appeared frightful with thousand wavering forms. Then Gautama cursed Arundhati: Iha varṣasahasrāṇi bahūni tvam nivatsyasi/ vāyubhakṣā nirāhārā tapyantī bhasmaśāyinī, adṛṣyā sarvabhūtānām āṣrame 'smin nivatsyasi/ yadā caitad vanam ghoram rāmo daṣarathātmajaḥ, āgamiṣyati durdharṣas tadā pūtā bhaviṣyasi/ tasyātithyena durvṛtte lobhamohavivarjitā, matsakāṣ́e mudā yuktā svam vapur dhārayiṣyasi/ 'Duraachaarini! May you become in this very ashram as a boulder / heavy stone with neither senses nor life with air as food and rain as drink, till such time after centuries, that Shri Rama would arrive at this ashram and with his sacerd 'paada sparshana' or the touch of His feet that you would be liberated to normalcy!' Having cursed both Indra and Devi Ahalya thus, Maharshi Gautama retired to mountain tops for tapasya again.

Ganesha Purana, Chapters 30-34:

Brahmarshi Narada states: He visited Lord Indra at Amaravati as the former complimented Narada as a Triloka Sanchari; Narada replied that his latest was 'mrityuloka' and chanced to meet Rishi Gautama in his ashram along with his wife Devi Ahalya; he also said that Ahalya was supremely pretty and her exquisiteness and grace was 'par excellence' in the Three Lokas that he ever visited as the Apsraas and all the Swarga based feminine beauty and charm was truly negligible. After Narada's social call was over, Indra visited Gautama's ashram; the Maharshi was busy with his morning duties and left the ashram. Meanwhile Indra assumed the Rishi's form and entered their bedroom. Devi Ahalya was stunned to see Maya Gautama in her bed room and exclaimed whether the Muni had not left for the duties but lying in the bed. Indra in the maya rupa said that he short circuited the puja and desired to go into bed with her as he was attacked by 'kaama baana', fondled her red and luscious and body parts and slept with her as she replied that there would be no other stree dharma as she ought to be a Pativrata and chirruped: Karyeshu Dasi, Karaneshu Manthri; Bhojeshu Mata, Shayaneshu Rambha, Roopeshu lakshmi, Kshamayeshu Dharitri, Shat dharmayukta, Kuladharma Patni/ and fell into the bed of Maayayi Gautama! Then Indra showed his own form and Arundhati was astonished and shocked as a stone. Even in the bed she felt a doubt that the body which she fondled was of different odour. As Indra disappeared, she was lost in thoughts. As the husband returned, she fell straight at his feet as the Maharshi out of his 'divya drishti'/ celestial vision as what all had happened. He stated that: In respect of mantra-ayush-grihacchidra especially related to griha parivaara, rati karma-aoushadhi seva-maana sammaan as also avamaan and daama, a wise person should be discreet in advertising in public. Thus the Maharshi gave a 'shaap'to Devi Ahalya to turn into a stone since Ahalya was unable to distinguish the form- nature-and actions in comparison to a Para purusha and got mixed up with the his body parts and semen- albeit Indra was the Lord of Swarga. Then he gave a shaap to his dharma patni to instantly become a stone till such time Lord Shri Rama, in the course of vana vaasa would receive his 'paada sparsha'. On learning about the Maharshi's shaap, Indra got shivers like a sand storm got shatterd by a mountain and instantly assumed the form of a cat and ran away from the scene. Realising that Indra fled away, the Maharshi cursed Indra to assume a swarupa as broken into thousand parts. As Indra who killed Vritraasura a Brahmana was carrying the ill-reputation of brahmana hatya, one of the Pancha Maha Paatakas of Stree hatya, Bhruna / Shishu hathya, Brahmana hatya, Go hatya and Guru hatya / Guru Bharya Gamana, realised that the shaap of Maharshi Gautama and rued deeply as to how could show up his face in Deva Sabha as he was expected to preach the principles of dharma while unable to observe and follow himaself, let alone enforce it! Indra decided: Praanibhir bhujyate karma shubham vaashubham, tiryag yonim samaadaadya khapishyeghamaatmanah, nalinee kundmale tishtheheen idragopagaruupa -dhruk/All the 'jeeva rasis' in srishti- from Indra to an insect-ought to reap the fruits of their past acts and as such I ought to assume tiryak yoni or the form of a 'pashu pakshi keetaka' and thus decide to become a worm as an Indragopa keetaka.' As Indra hid himself as a Indragopa Keetaka, Deva Guru Brihaspati and Devas approached Maharshi Gautama with the sincere prostrations and requested him to withdraw the shaap or atleast

mitigate it. The Maharshi initially reacted stating that a person of Indra's stature as he was a kapati-shathadushta-aviveki-and pashchaattaapa rahita paapi and his paschaattapa would be futile. Yet, as you are all urging sincerely then Indra even in the keetaka form be taught with the Shadakshara Ganesha Mantra as Ganesha was always a 'sarva karta-sarva harta-sarvapaata-kripaanidhi-Brahmavishnu Shivaatmika and Mahasiddhi pradaayaka'. The vidhivatra Shadakshara Ganesha Mantra pleased Indra and the Gautama shaapa to Indra got diluted and hence forward Indra would assume a divya deha become a sahasra netra instead of 'shasra shareera chheda'. Indra while assuming his normal swarupa- albeit with mitigated curse by Gautama, had foremost reached the Maharshi's feet and thanked him profusely. There after, Indra seated under a kadamba tree, practised Ganesha shadakshara mantra for thousand years and Ganesha gave his benign darshan and blessed him]

Sarga Thirty One

Ravanasura along with his mantris and rakashasa sena landed in Kartaveeryaaruna Samrajya for a battle but the latter was out of station, and thus enjoyed Narmada River snanas- Shiva Linga pujas at the banks.

Tato rāmo mahātejā vismayāt punar eva hi, uvāca pranato vākyam agastyam ṛsisattamam/ bhagavan kim tadā lokāh śūnyā āsan dvijottama, dharsanām yatra na prāpto rāvano rāksaseśvarah/ utāho hīnavīryās te babhuvuh pṛthivīkṣitah, bahiṣkṛtā varāstraiś ca bahavo nirjitā nṛpāh/ rāghavasya vacah śrutvā agastyo bhagavān ṛṣiḥ, uvāca rāmam prahasan pitāmaha iveśvaram/ sa evam bādhamānas tu pārthivān pārthivarṣabha, cacāra rāvaṇo rāma pṛthivyām pṛthivīpate/ tato māhiṣmatīm nāma purīm svargapurīprabhām, samprāpto yatra sāmnidhyam paramam vasuretasah/ tulya āsīn nrpas tasya pratāpād vasuretasah, arjuno nāma yasyāgnih śarakunde śayah sadā/ tam eva divasam so 'tha haihayādhipatir balī, arjuno narmadām rantum gatah strībhih saheśvarah/ rāvano rāksasendras tu tasyāmātyān aprechata, kvārjuno vo nrpah so 'dya śīghram ākhyātum arhatha/ rāvano 'ham anuprāpto yuddhepsur nrvarena tu, mamāgamanam avyagrair yuṣmābhiḥ samnivedyatām/ ity evam rāvaṇenoktās te 'mātyāh suvipaścitah, abruvan rāksasapatim asāmnidhyam mahīpateh/ śrutyā viśravasah putrah paurānām arjunam gatam, apasrtyāgato vindhyam himavatsamnibham girim/ sa tam abhram ivāvistam udbhrāntam iva medinīm, apaśyad rāvaņo vindhyam ālikhantam ivāmbaram/ sahasraśikharopetam simhādhyusitakandaram, prapāta patitaih śītaih sāttahāsam ivāmbubhih/ devadānavagandharvaih sāpsaroganakimnaraih, sāha strībhih krīdamānaih svargabhūtam mahocchrayam/ nadībhih syandamānābhir agatipratimam jalam, sphutībhiś calajihvābhir vamantam iva visthitam/ ulkāvantam darīvantam himavatsamnibham girim, pasyamānas tato vindhyam rāvano narmadām yayau/ calopala jalām puņyām paścimodadhigāminīm, mahişaih srmaraih simhaih śārdūlarkṣagajottamaih, uṣṇābhitaptais trṣitaih samkṣobhitajalāśayām/ cakravākaih sakāraṇḍaiḥ sahamsajalakukkuṭaih, sārasaiś ca sadāmattaih kokūjadbhih samāvṛtām/ phulladrumakṛtottamsām cakravākayugastanīm, vistīrņa pulinaśronīm hamsāvalisumekhalām/ pusparenvanuliptāngīm jalaphenāmalāmśukām, jalāvagāha samsparšām phullotpalašubheksanām/ puspakād avaruhvāšu narmadām saritām varām, istām iva varām nārīm avagāhya daśānanaḥ/ sa tasyāḥ puline ramye nānākusumaśobhite, upopaviṣṭaḥ sacivaiḥ sārdham rāksasapumgavah, narmadā darśajam harsam āptavān rāksaseśvarah/ tatah salīlam prahasān rāvano rāksasādhipah, uvāca sacivāms tatra mārīcasukasāranān/ esa rasmisahasrena jagat krtveva kāñcanam, tīksnatāpakarah sūryo nabhaso madhyam āsthitah, mām āsīnam viditveha candrāyāti divākarah/narmadā jalaśītaś ca sugandhiḥ śramanāśanaḥ, madbhayād anilo hy eṣa vāty asau susamāhitaḥ/ iyam cāpi saricchresthā narmadā narma vardhinī, līnamīnavihamgormiḥ sabhayevānganā sthitā/ tad bhavantaḥ kşatāh śastrair nṛpair indrasamair yudhi, candanasya raseneva rudhireṇa samukṣitāh/ te yūyam avagāhadhvam narmadām sarmadām nṛṇām/ mahāpadmamukhā mattā gangām iva mahāgajāḥ, asyām snātvā mahānadyām pāpmānam vipramoksyatha/ aham apy atra puline saradindusamaprabhe, puspopaharam sanakaih karisyāmi umāpateh/rāvanenaivam uktās tu mārīcasukasāranāh, samahodaradhūmrākṣā narmadām avagāhire/ rākṣasendragajais tais tu kṣobhyate narmadā nadī, vāmanāñjanapadmādvair gaṇgā iva mahāgajaih/ tatas te rāksasāh snātvā narmadāvā varāmbhasi,

uttīrya puṣpāṇy ājahrur balyartham rāvaṇasya tu/ narmadā puline ramye śubhrābhrasadṛśaprabhe, rākṣasendrair muhūrtena kṛtaḥ puṣpamayo giriḥ/ puṣpeṣūpahṛteṣv eva rāvaṇo rākṣaseśvaraḥ, avatīrṇo nadīm snātum gaṅgām iva mahāgajaḥ/ tatra snātvā ca vidhivaj japtvā japyam anuttamam, narmadā salilāt tasmād uttatāra sa rāvaṇaḥ/ rāvaṇam prāñjalim yāntam anvayuḥ saptarākṣasāḥ, yatra yatra sa yāti sma rāvaṇo rākṣasādhipaḥ, jāmbūnadamayam liṅgam tatra tatra sma nīyate/ vālukavedimadhye tu tal liṅgam sthāpya rāvaṇaḥ, arcayām āsa gandhaiś ca puṣpaiś cāmṛtagandhibhiḥ/ tataḥ satām ārtiharam haram param; varapradam candramayūkhabhūṣaṇam, samarcayitvā sa niśācaro jagau; prasārya hastān praṇanarta cāyatān/

Shri Rama then asked Agastya Maha Muni having heard of how Meghanaada became Indrajit and of the background Indra's curse, raised a doubt whether the entire clan of kshatriyas was totally disabled to meet Ravana's ever victorious nature. Then explained Agastya as follows: Ravana in the course of his victories he entered Mahishmati Nagari where there was a powerful King named Arjuna. As Ravana reached there, Veera Arjuna of haihava raja's clan was in dominance.

[Vishleshana on the Haihava Vamsha from Devi Bhagavata Purana:

The origin of Haihayas was interesting. Once, Lord Surya's son, Revanta rode on the Celestial Horse 'Uucchaiswara' and called on Maha Vishnu; Laxmi recognised the co-born Horse at the time of churning the Ocean and was lost in thoughts, despite Vishnu's noting Her indifference. Vishnu became angry and cursed Her to become a mare as She was much captivated with the horse. Lakshmi Devi prayed to Maha Deva and Girija who sent the latter's emissary to Vishnu with the request that He too be born as a horse. Lakshmi Devi confirmed to Devi Girija that her husband had great reverence for Mahadeva as Vishnu was praying to Maha Deva Himself. Hence Vishnu obliged and took the form of a Horse. The Animal Forms of Vishnu and Lakshmi gave birth to a male human child who was left in the forest but was ordained to be picked up by King Yayati's son Turvasu (Hari Varma) who was meditating for a son for hundred years. But meanwhile a Vidyadhara named Champaka and his spouse Madanashala were flying around and found a child of profound sparkle and desired to own him, but Indra warned them that the child who gave birth to Hari and Laxmi was actually meant for Yayati's son Hari Verma who was performing severe Tapasya for a male child who was subsequently named as 'Eka Vira' (The One Only Warrior). As Ekavira grew into an ideal Youth with considerable learning and valour, King Turvasu and coronated Ekavira and retired to forests. Ekavira was popular as a worthy King. As he was roaming once on the banks of Ganges, he found a pretty girl crying. When cajoled, she (Yasovati) said she was the companion of the Princess Ekavali, the daughter of King Rabhya and Queen Rukmarekha. The couple performed a Sacrifice and were blessed as Ekavali emerged from the Homa Kunda (Firepit). When the Princess and Yasovati were bathing in a Pond in their territory, Demon Kalaketu appeared, killed King Rabhya's soldiers and made amorous advances to Ekavali. She entreated the Danava King from 'Patala' that her father desired her to be wedded to King Eka Vira of Haihayas and thus requested her to leave her. But the Danava King heeded little and forcibly took Ekavali away to Patala. On hearing about the incident, Eka Vira revealed his identity and wondered how to reach Patala to fight Kalaketu. Yasovati was distressed heavily and prayed to Devi Bhagavati who in her dream informed that by the dint of a 'Bija' (Seed) Mantra which she learnt earlier by Lord Dattatreya be meditated for a month with pure heart and on the banks of Ganges, she would meet King Eka Vira and help her to kill Kalaketu. As she knew the Triloka Thilaka Yogeswari Mantra, King Eka Vira was initiated in it as follows: Hrim Gauri Rudrayathey yogeswari hum phut swaha. He was thus able to reach Patala, destroyed Kalaketu, rescued Ekavali back and married her under the care of her parents who prayed to Bhagavati with extreme gratitude. It was in the union of Eka Vira and Ekavali that the famed Kartavirya was born in the Haihayas clan.]

Further Stanzas as followed: tam eva divasam so 'tha haihayādhipatir balī, arjuno narmadām rantum gataḥ strībhiḥ saheśvaraḥ/ On the very day of Ravana's entry, maha balavaan Haihava Raja Arjuna along with his strees was enjoying 'jala kreedaas' in the river Narmada. Ravana enquired of Arjuna's ministers

about the latters's where abouts and asked them of the arrival of Ravanaasura and he had actually arrived to confront him in a battle. Having been told that Haihava King was out of the rajadhani Ravana then decided to visit Vindhya giri. He witnessed cold water flows from the mountain tops where deva-danavagandharva-kinnaraadis were rejoicing aling with apsaraas too. Vindhyachala was full of deep and wide caves. Flows of 'sphatika samana nirmarla jala' makes Vindhyagiri as 'chanchala jihva Shesha Naaga' Like in the case of Himalayas, Vindhyagiri too is full of deep caves. Ravana was amazed at the grandeur of Vinbyas and the fabled River Narmada flowing towards the western ocean with whose waters innumerable animals like cattle, deers, lions, tigers, elephants, wild bears and so on besides variegated birds like chakravaakaas, karandavas, hamsas, and so on. Narmada is replete with beautiful 'saritas' and is akin to a pretty youthful women as her 'aabharanaas'.

[Vishleshana on Narmada's Origin, significant events ascribed to the River and her Mahatmya:

In the Reva Khand of Skanda Purana, Sage Suta enlightened a Congregation of Rishis about a guery of Yudhishthar (of Pandavas) to Maharshi Markandeya about the origin of River Narmada. Several Holy Persons and Brahmanas approached King Pururava to let a Holy River descend from Heaven so that various religious activities aimed at Devas and Pitras by human beings were facilitated and the King performed relentless Tapasya to Parama Shiva who in turn asked Narmada Devi to descend. She desired to have a strong base to do so and Shiva asked Paryank, the son of Vindhya, to bear the brunt. As Narmada descended, there were floods of water and the Deities requested her to diminish her size and taught Pururava the details of the Rituals to perform tarpans to his ancestors which were followed by generations thereafter. But since Narmada was a virgin, she did not allow her divine touch to Deities and therefore agreed to marry King Purukutsu, who actually was Samudra Deva but was cursed by Brahma to become a human being as the King Purukutsu also learnt from Narmada about the rituals to liberate his ancestors. It was stated that Narmada 'Snaans' at various points of Her Course cutting the Vindhya Mountains and peaks every where on way were not only refreshing and cool but are Sacred and divinely and those who perform the baths, especially of early hours of a day, secure Punya of several Snaans of Ganga! The Sacred Snaans at that time are instant destroyers of sins committed in the current and previous lives. On the northern side of the River is situated *Anantapu*r where Anantasiddhi Linga is popular and is stated to be the hub of Maharshis like Saavarni, Kaushik and Aghamarshan performing Vratas and Tapas. Sage Valmiki is also stated to have lived here for long till attainment of Moksha. Another important Tirth named Dipeswar or Vyasa Tirtha is known for Vrishabha daan (Charity of a bull) on Kartika Krishna Paksha Chaturdasi bestowing Swargavaas after life. At the Narmada-Varangana Sangam is popular to wash off physical ailments and nearby the Sangam is situated the Siva kshetra where rituals of 'Snaan and Daan' during Solar Eclipse award the same impact as at Kurukshetra; this is the abode of Narmada, Siva and Vishnu the latter being called Utpalaavarta having thousand heads! It is the belief that even flies and birds here reach Haridhaam, let alone human beings. Tripuri Kshetra is noted as a popular and powerful Tirtha where eight Swayambhu Lingas manifested on their own, where any act of Virtue would have manifold fruits of life. Sage Markandeya recalled an interesting happening about the Tripuri Kshetra: Swayambhu Manu-the first Manu-heard at Ayodhya while sleeping the remote sounds of bells and Vasishtha explained to Manu that those sounds were heard from Tripuri on the banks of Sacred Narmada, from the aeroplanes taking off from the roofs of virtuous human beings destined to celestial worlds like Kailasa, Vaikuntha and Indra loka. Swayambhu Manu immediately left for Tripuri and performed several rituals including Aswamedha Yagna and prayed to Devi Narmada who blessed the Manu that in his lineage one famous Bhagirath would be borne in Treta Yuga and would succeed bringing Pavitra Ganga to 'Aryavarta' from the Celestial Worlds! In the Tripuri Kshetra itself, Sage Bhrigu prayed to Trilochan Siva being desirous of the darshan of His Third Eye and as Shiva obliged with His appearance, the Sage asked for the boons of obtaining Siddhis, formation of Bhrigu Tirtha with His presence always, manifesting Eight Rudras in the Bhrigu Tirtha named Bhrigu, Shooli, Ved, Chandra, Mukha, Attahaas, Kaal and Karaali; and granting benevolence to visitors of Bhrigu Tirtha as a sin-destroyer. Similarly Bhagavan Soma (Chandra) prayed to Siva to set up Soma Tirtha as the

Sangam of the three Rivers viz. Ganga, Jamuna and Narmada. Narmadapuri on the bank of Narmada was indeed worthy as Sage Jamadagni prayed to Maha Deva and secured a Kama Dhenu and King Kartaveeryarjuna being jealous of the prized possession, took away the Holy Cow by force after killing Jamadagni and the Sage's son Parasurama not only killed the most powerful King of the Time but also uprooted the concept of Kshatriyas and Kings by waging twenty one battles; he set up a Memorial named Devadroni (Kapila Dhenu) where Pinda daanas continued to be performed to Jamadagi and ancestors. Sage Markandeya narrated the renowned happening of a 'Nishad' (Hunter) to Yudhishthar about the formation of Trinetra Kund as the high devotee of Shiva Linga discovered that the Third Eye was missing on the Linga, cut his own eye as a replacement to it by resisting extreme pain and flow of blood and pasting it on the third eye position of the Shiva Linga; Maha Deva appeared before Nishad with blind faith, extreme sense of sacrifice and unnerving devotion and granted him 'Shiva Sayujyam' (Attainment of Oneness with Shiva). Sapta Sarasvat Tirtha came into being since a Gandharva, who was an excellent singer of hymns extolling Parama Shiva, got into the habit of drinking and Nandi cursed that the singer be born to a Chandala. The Singer became extremely repentant and entreated Nandi to show a means of reversing the curse; the Chandala had luckily retained the memory of his earlier birth as Gandharva and reached the banks of Narmada and sang hymns of Shiva at 'Shankarasthandil'or Shiva Vedi when a Siva Linga appeared by name Sapta Sarasvata and the Chandala regained the earlier life as Gandharva. Shandileswar Tirtha was formed after the famous Sage Shandilya (the Founder of the Shandilya Gotra) whose Tapasya to Maheswara in his hermitage on the banks of Narmada was exemplary; along with two other Lingas viz. Pancha Brahmeswar and Pushpeshwar, the Shandileswar was well known as among the 'Tirtha Traya' where worship of the Lingas and Pitru Tarpans / Pinda Pradaanas were performed. Markandeya narrated to Yudhishtar the story of Chakravarthi Mandhata, who performed Yagnas near AmarakashtakMountain and prayed to Omkareswar. He was a gift of a powerful Yagna by his father, King Yavanashva, who drank by mistake the 'Mantra Jala' meant for his wife. Yuvanashva got pregnant instead and delivered a boy by the opening of his belly. Devas and Indra visited the child and wondered as to who might feed milk to the boy; Indra said: 'Esha Maa Dhata' and fed Amrit-like milk by inserting his middle finger in the baby's mouth and hence the child's name became Mandhata. As the boy grew he became a model King of virtue, valour and justice. Omkareswar appeared in response to Mandhata's prayers and gave the boon of naming the Mountain of Vaidurya as Mandhata. Jaleswar or Bana Linga was the manifestation of Shiva; Banasura, the son of Bali Chakravarti, meditated to Maha Deva for thousand divine years and obtained the boons of impregnability of his City by any body excepting Mahadeva Himself and also flying mobility along with him and to those whom he chose any where. As Shiva gave the boons, Vishnu and Brahma too bestowed the same kind of boons and Banasura thus emerged the Great Mighty King of 'Three Puras' or as the dreaded 'Tripurasura', who came to attack Deva Lokas and Bhuloka. Sages, Devas, Brahma and Vishnu were all alarmed and approached Shiva, who decided to fight the Demon by Himself and smashed him with His Aghora astra which could absorb its heat and force by Narmada only after its attack. Banasura was badly hurt and realising his foolishness prayed to Maha Deva once again. The most lenient and gracious Bhagavan granted that Banasura would not have another birth and that a Shiva Linga would be manifested as Bana Linga or Jala Linga. Another instance narrated by Markandeya to Yudhishthar related to the memorable King Indradyumna who performed Maha Yagna on the banks of Narmada, had darshan of Omkareswara Linga and visioned a radiant spectacle of an Inner Linga of Maha Deva in the central portion of the Principal Omkareswar Linga; he also had a special visualization of Bhagavan Vishnu in His full resplendent and ornamented form with four hands with Shankha, Chakra, Gada and Lotus at the top portion of Omkareswara Linga and prayed to Him; the King also invoked various Holy Rivers especially Ganga to join the Mahanadi Narmada at the bottom of the Linga; and to Narmada to manifest Seven Branches from the north to south to facilitate Daanas, Homams, Vratas, Tarpans and Pinda Pradaans to Pitras and other rituals. The King's prayers were all granted adding to the magnificence of the entire Region in which the Sacred River Narmada flowed].

Further stanzas continued:

puṣpakād avaruhyāśu narmadām saritām varām, iṣṭām iva varām nārīm avagāhya daśānanaḥ/ sa tasyāḥ puline ramye nānākusumaśobhite, upopaviṣṭaḥ sacivaiḥ sārdham rākṣasapumgavaḥ, narmadā darśajam harṣam āptavān rākṣaseśvaraḥ/ tataḥ salīlam prahasān rāvaṇo rākṣasādhipaḥ, uvāca sacivāms tatra mārīcaśukasāranān/

Recalling the simile of Narmada is like a charming young woman with her 'abharanaas' as the 'vriksha sampada' on the banks, then the pushpaparaaga turns into angaanga essence like the foam of the 'maha vega jalas'. Then Ravana felt ther Narmada was indeed loke Sakshat Ganga and entered the waters of Narmada. Then Ravana's mantris of Shuka-Saarana- and others exclaimed that the Surya Deva having assumed his full fury of thousands rays was right at the mid day blast of unbearable heat. But at the same time the water flows are cool as if Chandra creates coolness, adding further with the fragrance of the flowers from the enormous vriksha sampada on the river beds. Then Ravana suggested to his mantris too had been for long bodily hurt and might thus cool down and refresh themselves. Later on he himself bathed, changed his clothes and performed Shiva Linga pugas woth fragrant flowers at various banks of the sacred river having created shiva linags of varied materials on the banks with yet varied sizes and performed wholesome pujas as his mantries too did likewise with gaana-natya yukta Linga Pujas with bhakti.

Sarga Thirty Two

As Arjuna slowed down Narmada pravaha affecting Ravana's Shiva Linga Pratishthaas, Ravana and nishacharas fought fiercely; Arjuna thrashed Ravana and rakshasas, imprisoned taking them his capital.

Narmadā puline vatra rāksasendrah sa rāvanah, puspopahāram kurute tasmād deśād adūratah/ arjuno jayatām śrestho māhismatyāh patih prabhuh, krīdite saha nārībhir narmadātoyam āśritah/ tāsām madhyagato rāja rarāja sa tato 'rjunaḥ, kareṇūnām sahasrasya madhyastha iva kuñjaraḥ/ jijñāsuḥ sa tu bāhūnām sahasrasyottamam balam, rurodha narmadā vegam bāhubhih sa tadārjunah/ kārtavīrvabhujāsetum taj jalam prāpva nirmalam, kūlāpahāram kurvānam pratisrotah pradhāvati/ samīnanakramakaraḥ sapuṣpakuśasamstaraḥ, sa narmadāmbhaso vegaḥ prāvṛṭkāla ivābabhau/ sa vegaḥ kārtavīryena sampresita ivāmbhasah, puspopahāram tat sarvam rāvanasya jahāra ha/rāvano 'rdha samāptam tu utsriya niyamam tadā, narmadām paśyate kāntām pratikūlām yathā priyām/ paścimena tu tam drstvā sāgarodgārasamnibham, vardhantam ambhaso vegam pūrvām āśām praviśva tu/ tato 'nudbhrāntaśakunām svābhāvye parame sthitām, nirvikārānganābhāsām paśyate rāvano nadīm/ savyetarakarāngulyā saśabdam ca daśānanah, vegaprabhavam anvestum so 'diśac chukasāraṇau/ tau tu rāvaṇasamdiṣṭau bhrātarau śukasāraṇau, vyomāntaracarau vīrau prasthitau paścimonmukhau/ ardhayojanamātram tu gatvā tau tu niśācarau, paśyetām puruṣam toye krīḍantam sahayoṣitam/ brhatsālapratīkaśam tovavvākulamūrdhajam, madaraktāntanavanam madanākāravarcasam/ nadīm bāhusahasrena rundhantam arimardanam, girim pādasahasrena rundhantam iva medinīm/ bālānām varanārīṇām sahasreṇābhisamvrtam, samadānām kareṇūnām sahasreṇeva kuñjaram/tam adbhutatamam drstvā rāksasau śukasāranau, samnivrttāv upāgamya rāvanam tam athocatuh/ brhatsālapratīkāśah ko 'pv asau rāksaseśvara, narmadām rodhavad ruddhvā krīdāpayati yositah/ tena bāhusahasrena samniruddhajalā nadī, sāgarodgārasamkāśān udgārān srjate muhuh/ ity evam bhāsamānau tau niśamya śukasāraṇau, rāvaṇo 'rjuna ity uktvā uttasthau yuddhalālasah/ arjunābhimukhe tasmin prasthite rākṣaseśvare, sakṛd eva kṛto rāvaḥ saraktaḥ preṣito ghanaiḥ/ mahodaramahāpārśvadhūmrākṣaśuka sāraṇaih, samvṛto rākṣasendras tu tatrāgād yatra so 'rjunaḥ/ nātidīrgheṇa kālena sa tato rākṣaso balī, tam narmadā hradam bhīmam ājagāmāñjanaprabhaḥ/ sa tatra strīparivṛtam vāśitābhir iva dvipam, narendram paśyate rājā rāksasānām tadārjunam/ sa rosād raktanayano rāksasendro baloddhatah, ity evam arjunāmātyān āha gambhīrayā girā/ amātyāh ksipram ākhyāta haihayasya nṛpasya vai, yuddhārtham samanuprāpto rāvaņo nāma nāmatah/ rāvaņasya vacah śrutvā mantriņo 'thārjunasya te, uttasthuh sāvudhās tam ca rāvanam vākvam abruvan/ vuddhasva kālo vijñātah sādhu bhoh sādhu rāvana,

yah ksībam strīvrtam caiva yoddhum icchasi no nrpam, vāśitāmadhyagam mattam śārdūla iva kuñjaram/ ksamasvādya daśagrīva usyatām rajanī tvayā, yuddhaśraddhā tu yady asti śvas tāta samare 'rjunam/ yadi vāpi tvarā tubhyam yuddhatṛṣṇāsamāvṛtā, nihatyāsmāms tato yuddham arjunenopayāsyasi/ tatas te rāvaṇāmātyair amātyāh pārthivasya tu, sūditāś cāpi te yuddhe bhakṣitāś ca bubhukṣitaih/ tato halahalāśabdo narmadā tira ābabhau, arjunasyānuyātrānām rāyanasya ca mantrinām/ isubhis tomaraih śūlair vajrakalpaih sakarṣaṇaih, sarāvaṇān ardayantaḥ samantāt samabhidrutāh/ haihayādhipa yodhānām vega āsīt sudārunah, sanakramīnamakarasamudrasyeva nisvanah/ rāvaṇasya tu te 'mātyāh prahastaśukasāranāh, kārtavīryabalam kruddhā nirdahanty agnitejasah/ arjunāva tu tat karma rāvanasya samantrinah, krīdamānāya kathitam purusair dvāraraksibhih/ uktvā na bhetavyam iti strījanam sa tato 'rjunah, uttatāra jalāt tasmād gangātovād ivānjanah/ krodhadūsitanetras tu sa tato rjuna pāvakah, prajajvāla mahāghoro vugānta iva pāvakah/ sa tūrnataram ādāya varahemāṅgado' gadām, abhidravati raksāmsi tamāmsīva divākarah/ bāhuviksepakaranām samudyamya mahāgadām, gārudam vegam āsthāya āpapātaiva so 'rjunah/ tasya margam samāvṛtya vindhyo 'rkasyeva parvatah, sthito vindhya ivākampyah prahasto musalāyudhah/ tato 'sya musalam ghoram lohabaddham madoddhatah, prahastah presayan kruddho rarāsa ca yathāmbudah/ tasyāgre musalasyāgnir aśokāpīdasamnibhaḥ, prahastakaramuktasya babhūva pradahann iva/ ādhāvamānam musalam kārtavīryas tadārjunah, nipuṇam vañcayām āsa sagado gajavikramah/ tatas tam abhidudrāva prahastam haihayādhipah, bhrāmayāno gadām gurvīm pañcabāhuśatocchrayām/ tenāhato 'tivegena prahasto gadayā tadā, nipapāta sthitah śailo vajrivajrahato yathā/ prahastam patitam dṛstvā mārīcaśukasāranāh, samahodaradhūmrākṣā apasṛptā raṇājirāt/ apakrānteṣv amātyeṣu prahaste ca nipātite, rāvaņo 'bhyadravat tūrṇam arjunam nṛpasattamam/ sahasrabāhos tad yuddham vimsadbāhos ca dārunam, nṛparākṣasayos tatra ārabdham lomaharṣaṇam/ sāgarāv iva samkṣubdhau calamūlāv ivācalau, tejoyuktāv ivādityau pradahantāv ivānalau/baloddhatau yathā nāgau vāśitārthe yathā vrsau, meghāv iva vinardantau simhāv iva balotkatau/rudrakālāv iva kruddhau tau tathā rāksasārjunau, parasparam gadābhyām tau tādayām āsatur bhrśam/tatas tair eva raksāmsi durdharaih pravarāyudhaih, bhittvā vidrāvayām āsa vāyur ambudharān iva/ rāksasāms trāsayitvā tu kārtavīryārjunas tadā, rāvanam grhya nagaram praviveśa suhrdvrtah/ sa kīryamāṇaḥ kusumākṣatotkarair; dvijaiḥ sapauraiḥ puruhūtasam nibhah, tadārjunah sampraviveša tām purīm; balim nigrhvaiva sahasralocanah/śrngair maharsabhau vadvad dantāgrair iva kuñjarau, parasparam vinighnantau nararāksasasattamau/ tato 'rjunena kruddhena sarvaprāņena sā gadā, stanayor antare muktā rāvaņasya mahāhave/ varadāna -kṛtatrāņe sā gadā rāvanorasi, durbaleva vathā senā dvidhābhūtāpatat ksitau/ sa tv arjunapramuktena gadāpātena rāvanah, apāsarpad dhanurmātram nisasāda ca nistanan/ sa vihvalam tad ālaksya daśagrīvam tato rjunah, sahasā pratijagrāha garutmān iva pannagam/ sa tam bāhusahasrena balād grhya daśānanam, babandha balavān rājā balim nārāyano yathā/ badhyamāne daśagrīve siddhacāranadevatāh, sādhvīti vādinah puspaih kiranty arjunamūrdhani/ vyāghro mṛgam ivādāya simharāḍ iva dantinam, rarāsa haihayo rājā harṣād ambudavan muhuh/ prahastas tu samāśvasto dṛṣṭvā baddham daśānanam, saha tai rākasaiḥ kruddha abhidudrāva pārthivam/ naktamcarāṇām vegas tu teṣām āpatatām babhau, uddhṛta ātapāpāve samudrānām ivādbhutah/ muñca muñceti bhāsantas tistha tistheti cāsakrt, musalāni ca śūlāni utsasarjus tadārjune/ aprāptāny eva tāny āśu asambhrāntas tadārjunah, āyudhāny amarārīnām jagrāha ripusūdanaḥ/ tatas tair eva rakṣāmsi durdharaiḥ pravarāyudhaiḥ, bhittvā vidrāvayām āsa vāyur ambudharān iva/ rāksasāms trāsayitvā tu kārtavīryārjunas tadā, rāvanam grhya nagaram praviveśa suhrdyrtah/ sa kīryamānah kusumāksatotkarair; dvijaih sapauraih puruhūtasam -nibhah, tadārjunah sampraviveśa tām purīm; balim nigrhyaiva sahasralocanah/

As Ravana along with his mantris were busy in Shiva Linga sthaapapana and pujas on the banks of the Sacred Narmada with his twenty hands , Kartaveeryaarjuna with his thousand hands who was swimming on the river with his several youthful females and enjoying. This kind of 'raasa kreeda' was so powerful that the 'pravaah vega' of Narmada was affected and got slowed down as noticed by Ravana and the Mantris. sa vegaḥ kārtavīryeṇa sampreṣiṭa ivāmbhasaḥ, puṣpopahāram tat sarvam rāvaṇasya jahāra ha/rāvaṇo 'rdha -samāptam tu utsṛjya niyamam tadā, narmadām paśyate kāntām pratikūlām yathā priyām/paścimena tu tam dṛṣṭvā sāgarodgārasamnibham, vardhantam ambhaso vegam pūrvām āśām praviśya tu/

As Ravana's abhishekha pujas of the installed Shiva Lingas were thus disabled he felt unhappy and wondered as to what could have suddenly happened and asked Shuka Saranas to ascertain flying up and find out the reason. They reported that a 'sahasra bhuja sahasra paani maha veera' of gigantic swarupa was performing with counctless 'sundara yuvatis'. Ravana too reached and saw the scene and shouted at the mantris to immediately reach Kartaveerya and alert him to face Ravana in an encounter. Then the mantris advised Ravana that it might not be proper and opportune to suddenly ask Kartaveerya for a battle at once but prehaps wait for the next day. But the restless Ravana whose slogan had always been to assert 'my way and there could not be any other way' had beaten the mantris to disobey his instructions and in that furor and disturbance, Arjuna's yoddhas hurled off baana-bhalla-trishula-vajrakarshanaadi aayudhaas and hit hard the rakshasa sena and Rayana too. As Haihavaraja yoddhads had thus provoked Rakshasa mantris namely Prahasta, Suka Saranas retaliated severely. In that confusion, Kartaveerya assured his warriors not to get alarmed as he could comfortably take care of any kind of crises. Then he like a huge elephant having performed 'raasa kreeda' with his mates too to witness the fun emerged to face the fun. Then he was enraged with 'raktavarna maha rosha' and was like a pralaya kaala bhayankara swarupa lifted his mighty mace and attacked the rakshasa sena fearlessly especially on Prahasta. Madonmattha Prahasta then attacked Arjuna with a 'bhayankara musalaayudha'. Then gadaadhari Kaartaveerya had speedily revolved his mace and hurled it with all his 'sahasra hastas'. With that 'gadaaghaata' with extraordinary speed and force, Prahasta fell down as of 'vajraayudha prahara' of Indra. The frightened Maareecha, Shuka, Sarana, Mahodara, Dhumraaksha took to heels as soon as Maha Parakrami Prahasta fell down dazed. tatas tair eva rakṣāmsi durdharaiḥ pravarāyudhaiḥ, bhittvā vidrāvayām āsa vāyur ambudharān iva/ rāksasāms trāsavitvā tu kārtavīrvārjunas tadā, rāvanam grhva nagaram praviveša suhrdvrtah/ sa kīryamāṇaḥ kusumākṣatotkarair; dvijaiḥ sapauraiḥ puruhūtasam -nibhaḥ, tadārjunaḥ sampraviveśa tām purīm; balim nigrhyaiva sahasralocanah Soon thereafter, Ravana attacked Arjuna and thus was initiated 'Ravanaaarjuna maha samgrama'. The sahasra baahu Kartaveeryarjuna was attacked by Ravana like the 'Kaala deva samana gadaaprahara' and the 'dasha dishas' got resounded. In the further process of mutual clash, neither Ravana nor Arjuna got fatigued. Both were like fierce huge sized 'vrishabhas' hurling 'gadaa prahaaraas' at each other followed by the 'Shaktyaadudha's tosses. But Ravana was safe at that moment so far yet suddenly the tables were reversed. Varadanakritatraane saa gadaa rayanorasi, durbaleya yathaayegam dwidhaabhutaapatat kshitou/ sa tyaarjunaprayultena gadaa ghaarena Ravanah, apaasarpad dhanurmaatram nishasaada cha nishthganan/ Ravana's 'vara daanaas' had so far kept him safe and sound, but his vakshasthaalaas were pierced through severely and he fell down to earth. Thus Arjuna's gadaa praharaas made Ravana's dhanush baanaas's were pushed back and Ravana's 'artanadas' were resounded in a manner that Garuda Deva pounced on a hissing 'vishapoorita mahasarpa'. Sa vihvalam tadaalakshya dashagreevam tatorjunah, sahsotpapartya jagraah garutmaaniva pannagam/ Satu baahushasrena balaad gruhya dashaananam,badandha balavaan rajaa Balim Naraayano yathaa/ Just like at the remote past, Bhagavan Narayana caught hold of Bali Chakravarti, Kartaveeryaarjuna tied Dashaanana tight with fierce rope, and Siddha-Charana-Devas had heartily congratulated and showered 'sugandha pushpas' on Arjuna. Then Prahasta who got recovered there since, ran after Kaarthaveerya and shouted with ferocity leave the Rakshasa King for now, and hit him musala- shula prahaaraas. But Arjuna having successfully withstood the 'aayudha prahaaraas' faced Prahasta and held him too under his severe hold. tatas tair eva raksāmsi durdharaih pravarāyudhaih, bhittvā vidrāvayām āsa vāyur ambudharān iva/rāksasāms trāsayitvā tu kārtavīryārjunas tadā, rāvanam grhya nagaram praviveśa suhrdyrtah/ sa kīryamānah kusumāksatot - karair; dvijaih sapauraih puruhūtasam -nibhah, tadārjunah sampraviveša tām purīm; balim nigrhyaiva sahasralocanah/ Further, Kartaveerya frightened away the rest of the rakshasaas and along with Ravana and his mantries were all imprisoned and taken back to Mahishmati pura of Kartaveerya. Even as Ravana and the rakshasaas having been humiliated and imprisoned back, the Puravaasis were overjoyed as the viprottamas welcomed Kartaveerya with 'swasti vachanas' and 'akshata pushpa varshasas'.

SargaThirty Three

As Ravana and followers were disgraced under leash, Pulastya Brahma requested Karataveerya to free him yet Ravana still desired to pursue his further escapades with arrogance and 'ahamkaara'.

Rāvanagrahaṇam tat tu vāyugrahaṇasamnibham, rsih pulastyaḥ śuśrāva kathitam divi daivataiḥ/ tatah putrasutasnehāt kampyamāno mahādhrtih, māhismatīpatim drastum ājagāma mahān rsih sa vāvu mārgam āsthāya vāyutulyagatir dvijah, purīm māhismatīm prāpto manahsamtāpavikramah/so 'marāvatisamkāśām hṛṣṭapuṣṭajanāvṛtām, praviveśa purīm brahmā indrasyevāmarāvatīm/ pādacāram ivāditvam nispatantam sudurdršam, tatas te pratvabhijnāva arjunāva nyavedavan/ pulastva iti tam šrutvā vacanam haihayādhipah, śirasy añjalim uddhrtya pratyudgacchad dvijottamam/pūrohito 'sya grhyārghyam madhuparkam tathaiva ca, purastāt prayayau rājña indrasyeva brhaspatih/ tatas tam rsim āyāntam udyantam iva bhāskaram, arjuno dršva samprāptam vavandendra ivešvaram/ sa tasya madhuparkam ca pādyam arghyam ca dāpayan, pulastyam āha rājendro harsagadgadayā girā/ adyeyam amarāvatyā tulyā māhişmatī kṛtā, adyāham tu dvijendrendra yasmāt paśyāmi durdṛśam/ adya me kuśalam deva adya me kulam uddhṛtam, yat te devagaṇair vandyau vande 'ham caraṇāv imau/ idam rājyam ime putrā ime dārā ime vayam, brahman kim kurma kim kāryam ājñāpayatu no bhayān/ tam dharme 'gnişu bhrtyeşu sivam prştvātha pārthivam, pulastyovāca rājānam haihayānām tadārjunam/ rājendrāmalapadmākṣapūrṇacandranibhānana, atulam te balam yena daśagrīvas tvayā jitaḥ/ bhayād vasyāvatisthetām nispandau sāgarānilau, so 'yam adya tvayā baddhah pautro me 'tīvadurjayah/ tat putraka yaśah sphītam nāma viśrāvitam tvayā, madvākyād yācyamāno 'dya muñca vatsa daśānanam/ pulastyājñām sa grhyātha akimcanavaco 'rjunaḥ, mumoca pārthivendrendro rākṣasendram praḥṛṣṭavat/ sa tam pramuktvā tridaśārim arjunah; prapūjya divyābharaņasragambaraih, ahimsākam sakhyam upetya sāgnikam; praņamya sa brahmasutam grham yayau/ pulastyenāpi samgamya rākṣasendraḥ pratāpavān, parişvangakrtātithyo lajjamāno visarjitaļ/ pitāmahasutaś cāpi pulastyo munisattamaļ, mocayitvā daśagrīvam brahmalokam jagāma sah/ evam sa rāvanah prāptah kārtavīryāt tu dharsanāt, pulastya vacanāc cāpi punar moksam avāptavān/ evam balibhyo balinah santi rāghavanandana, nāvajñā paratah kāryā ya icchec chreya ātmanah/ tatah sa rājā piśitāśanānām; sahasrabāhor upalabhya maitrīm, punar narāṇām kadanam cakāra; cacāra sarvām pṛthivīm ca darpāt/

As Pulastya Brahma had appeared in the Mahendrapuri of Arjuna as the latter was led by his purohita and venerated with 'arghya paadya madhuparka satkaaras' like Indra would have performed led by Brihaspati. Raja Arjuna was rather surprised by Brahma Deva's arrival to his capital city. Arjuna then addressed Brahma: adveyam amarāvatyā tulyā māhismatī krtā, advāham tu dvijendrendra yasmāt paśyāmi durdrśam/ adya me kuśalam deva adya me kulam uddhrtam, yat te devaganair vandyau vande 'ham caranāv imau/ idam rājyam ime putrā ime dārā ime vayam, brahman kim kurma kim kāryam ājñāpayatu no bhavān/Maha Dwijendra! Indeed your visit here and our darshana prapti of yours is an outstanding honour for all of us. Your surprise visit to Mahishmati pura as of 'Amaravatipura samaana' great honour to all of us. Deva! my sincere salutations and prostrations to you. To day your blessings to me and the praja have truly awarded us 'saphala tapasya saardhakata'. Brahma Deva! this Rajya and sammpurna praja is at your feet and do kindly instruct up as to what could be expected from us all. tam dharme 'gnişu bhrtyeşu sivam prştvātha pārthivam, pulastyovāca rājānam haihayānām tadārjunam/ rājendrāmalapadmāksapūrnacandranibhānana, atulam te balam yena dasagrīvas tvayā jitah/bhayād vasyāvatisthetām nispandau sāgarānilau, so 'yam adva tvayā baddhah pautro me 'tīvadurjayah/ tat putraka yaśah sphītam nāma viśrāvitam tvayā, madvākyād yācyamāno 'dya muñca vatsa daśānanam/ Then Pulastya asked about the wellbeing of Haihava Raja's dharma siddhi, agni kaaryaas and of his putras, addressed him as folllows: 'Purnachandra samana manohara mukha kamala nayana Naresha! I am proud of your 'dhairya saahasaas' as you were able to subdue and humiliate Dashagriva Ravanaasura. My 'rana durjaya poutra' Ravana at whose behest samudras and maha vaayus being rid of their 'teevrata and chanchalata' were ever proud but kept them both on leash. But you have succeded in controlling him I am indeed proud of your 'yuddha kushalata and ajeaya siddhi ' had been negated and disproved of Ravana's 'samardhyata'. My earnest appeal to you now would be to please let Ravana and his followers under you custody be freed and this is not merely my appeal but my unqualified request to you. As Pulastya Brahma

was directed all by himself, Arjuna could not ever negate the instruction and left the disgraced and humbled Ravana and his followers were let freed. Pitamaha Brahma having got Ravana and party then returned to Brahma Loka again'. Then Maha Muni Agastya then further addressed Shri Rama that despite such humiliation, Ravana having ignored such humiliation resumed his vijaya yatras once again.

Sarga Thirty Four

Despite his humiliation by Kaartaveerya, Ravana reached Vaali busy with Sandhya Vandanas at four oceans yet was inistent as was caught by Vaali who dragged Ravana by shoulders and shamed yet again!

Arjunena vimuktas tu rāvano rāksasādhipah, cacāra pṛthivīm sarvām anirvinnas tathā kṛtah/ rāksasam vā manusyam vā śŗnute yam balādhikam, rāvanas tam samāsādya yuddhe hvayati darpitah/ tatah kadā cit kiskindhām nagarīm vālipālitām, gatvāhvayati yuddhāya vālinam hemamālinam/ tatas tam vānarāmātyas tāras tārāpitā prabhuh, uvāca rāvaņam vākyam yuddhaprepsum upāgatam/ rākṣasendra gato vālī yas te pratibalo bhayet, nānyah pramukhatah sthātum tava śaktah playamgamah/ caturbhyo 'pi samudrebhyah samdhyām anvāsya rāvaṇa, imam muhūrtam āyāti vālī tiṣṭha muhūrtakam/ etān asthicayān paśya ya ete śankhapāṇḍurāḥ, yuddhārthinām ime rājan vānarādhipatejasā/ yad vāmṛtarasaḥ pītas tvayā rāvanarāksasa, tathā vālinam āsādya tadantam tava jīvitam/ atha vā tvarase martum gaccha daksinasāgaram, vālinam draksyase tatra bhūmistham iva bhāskaram/ sa tu tāram vinirbhartsya rāvano rākṣaseśvarah, puṣpakam tat samāruhya prayayau dakṣiṇārṇavam/ tatra hemagiriprakhyam taruṇārkanibhānanam, rāvaṇo vālinam dṛṣṭvā saṃdhyopāsanatatparam/ puṣpakād avaruhyātha rāvaṇo 'ñjanasaṁnibhaḥ, grahītum vālinaṁ tūrṇaṁ niḥśabdapadam ādravat/ yadṛcchayonmīlayatā vālināpi sa rāvanah, pāpābhiprāyavān drstaś cakāra na ca sambhramam/ śaśam ālaksya simho vā pannagam garudo yathā, na cintayati tam vālī rāvanam pāpaniścayam/ jighrksamānam adyainam rāvanam pāpabuddhi nam, kaksāvalambinam krtvā gamisyāmi mahārnavān/ draksyanty arim mamānkastham sramsitoru karāmbaram, lambamānam daśagrīvam garudasyeva pannagam/ ity evam matim āsthāya vālī karnam upāśritaḥ, japan vai naigamān mantrāms tasthau parvatarāḍ iva/ tāv anyonyam jighṛkṣantau harirāksasapārthivau, prayatnavantau tat karma īhatur baladarpitau/ hastagrāhyam tu tam matyā pādaśabdena rāvanam, parāṅmukho 'pi jagrāha vālī sarpam ivāndajah/ grahītukāmam tam grhva rakṣasām īśvaram hariḥ, kham utpapāta vegena kṛtvā kakṣāvalambinam/ sa tam pīḍdayamānas tu vitudantam nakhair muhuh, jahāra rāvanam vālī pavanas toyadam vathā/ atha te rāksasāmātyā hriyamāne daśānane, mumoksayisavo ghorā ravamānā hy abhidravan/ anvīyamānas tair vālī bhrājate 'mbaramadhyagah, anvīyamāno meghaughair ambarastha ivāmsumān/ te 'saknuvantah samprāptam vālinam rāksasottamāh, tasva bāhūruvegena pariśrāntah patanti ca/vālimārgād apākrāman parvatendrā hi gacchatah/ apakṣigaṇasampāto vānarendro mahājavah, kramaśah sāgarān sarvān samdhyākālam avandata/ sabhājyamāno bhūtais tu khecaraih khecaro harih, paścimam sāgaram vālī ājagāma sarāvaṇaḥ/ tatra samdhyām upāsitvā snātvā japtvā ca vānaraḥ, uttaram sāgaram prāyād vahamāno daśānanam/ uttare sāgare samdhyām upāsitvā daśānanam, vahamāno 'gamad vālī pūrvam ambumahānidhim/ tatrāpi samdhyām anvāsya vāsayih sa harīśyarah, kiskindhābhimukho grhya rāyanam punar āgamat/ caturşv api samudreşu samdhyām anvāsya vānaraḥ, rāvaṇodvahanaśrāntaḥ kiskindhopavane 'patat/ rāvanam tu mumocātha svakaksāt kapisattamah, kutas tvam iti covāca prahasan rāvanam prati/ vismayam tu mahad gatvā śramalokanirīksanah, rāksaseśo harīśam tam idam vacanam abravīt/ vānarendra mahendrābha rāksasendro 'smi rāvanah, yuddhepsur aham samprāptah sa cādyāsāditas tvayā/ aho balam aho vīryam aho gambhīratā ca te, yenāham paśuvad grhya bhrāmitaś caturo 'rṇavān/ evam aśrāntavad vīra śīghram eva ca vānara, mām caivodvahamānas tu ko 'nyo vīraḥ kramişyati/ trayāṇām eva bhūtānām gatir esā plavamgama, mano 'nilasuparṇānām tava vā nātra samśayah/ so 'ham dṛṣṭabalas tubhyam icchāmi haripumgava, tvayā saha ciram sakhyam susnigdham pāvakāgratah/ dārāh putrāh puram rāstram bhogācchādanabhojanam, sarvam evāvibhaktam nau bhavisyati harīśvara/ tatah prajvālavitvāgnim tāv ubhau harirāksasau, bhrātṛtvam upasampannau parisvajya parasparam/ anyonyam lambitakarau tatas tau harirākṣasau, kiṣkindhām viśatur hṛṣṭau simhau giriguhām iva/ sa tatra māsam usitah sugrīva iva rāvanah, amātvair āgatair nīcas

trailokyotsādanārthibhiḥ/ evam etat purāvrttam vālinā rāvaṇaḥ prabho, dharṣitaś ca krtaś cāpi bhrātā pāvakasamnidhau/ balam apratimam rāma vālino 'bhavad uttamam, so 'pi tayā vinirdagdhaḥ śalabho vahninā yathā/

Even after having been shamefully released from theclutches of Kartaveeryarjuna, Ravana resumed his escapades ever challenging the veeraas on earth. Then he landed by his pushpaka vimana in kishkindha intending to challenge King Vaali .He then faced Tara, Sushena and Angada and asserted that only Vaali should deserve to encounter him with and none else. Then the reply was: caturbhyo 'pi samudrebhyah samdhyām anvāsya rāvaṇa, imam muhūrtam āyāti vālī tiṣṭha muhūrtakam/King Vaali had left for performing his Sandhya Vandanaas in the four oceans all around and as such might have to wait for some time of a couple of ghadis. Then the like of heros as you are surely taught an appropriate lesson. atha $v\bar{a}$ tvarase martum gaccha daksinasāgaram, vālinam draksyase tatra bhūmistham iva bhāskaram/ sa tu tāram vinirbhartsya rāvaņo rākṣaseśvaraḥ, puṣpakam tat samāruhya prayayau dakṣiṇārṇavam/ tatra hemagiriprakhyam tarunārkanibhānanam, rāvaņo vālinam drstvā samdhyopāsanatatparam/ puspakād avaruhvātha rāvano 'ñjanasamnibhah, grahītum vālinam tūrnam nihsabdapadam ādravat/But in case you wish to die too soon, then you may like to be seated in your pushpaka vimana and fly off towared the southern samudra and you could then have the Vaali darshanana duly performing sandhya vandana of 'prabhata kaala prabhavdhasita Surya'. As advised, Rayana had instantly reached there and saw King Vaali and being anxious to catch him ran with speeded up footsteps. yadrcchayonmīlayatā vālināpi sa rāvaṇaḥ, pāpābhiprāyavān dṛṣṭaś cakāra na ca sambhramam/ śaśam ālakṣya simho vā pannagam garuḍo yathā, na cintayati tam vālī rāvaṇam pāpaniścayam/ jighṛkṣamāṇam adyainam rāvaṇam pāpabuddhi nam, kakṣāvalambinam krtvā gamiṣyāmi mahārṇavān/ drakṣyanty arim mamānkastham sramsitoru karāmbaram, lambamānam daśagrīvam garuḍasyeva pannagam/ By his daiva yoga, Vaali too saw Ravana running towards him with apparent 'paapapurma abhipraaya' but was the least afraid. Just as a rabbit with its vengeance would speed up running to a mriga raja simha, King Vaali was least perturbed. He decided to forcefully seize him by Ravana's all his hands under his armpits and drag him by his feet taking him to the rest of the maha saagaraas till such time that he would continue his 'sandhyopaa sanaas'. Then Rayana's mid body, hands and feet and flutterings of his vastras would be my reminders that he was continuing to be dragged by his powerful tail like Garuda deva would suppress vicious sarpas under his mihty feet..ity evam matim āsthāya vālī karņam upāśritaḥ, japan vai naigamān mantrāms tasthau parvatarād iva/ tāv anyonyam jighrksantau harirāksasapārthivau, prayatnavantau tat karma īhatur baladarpitau/ hastagrāhyam tu tam matvā pādaśabdena rāvanam, parāmukho 'pi jagrāha vālī sarpam ivāndajah/Thus having decided, Maha Bali Vaali assumed his mouna vrata ad recited veda mantras like Giri Raja Maha Meru would stand looking up the sky. Thus having resolved, Vaanara Raja was seeking to grasp the Rakshasa Raja's body and tail held him from behind. Ravana tried his best to wriggle out of Vali;s tail by its clutch. grahītukāmam tam grhya rakṣasām īśvaram harih, kham utpapāta vegena kṛtvā kakṣāvalambinam/ sa tam pīḍdayamānas tu vitudantam nakhair muhuh, jahāra rāvaṇam vālī pavanas tovadam vathā/ atha te rāksasāmātvā hrivamāne daśānane, mumoksavisavo ghorā ravamāṇā hy abhidravan/ But Vaali succeededin holding Ravana's hands under his armpits finally and flew away sky high to continue his next phase of 'sandhyaavandana'. Ravana continued to pester Vaali from his nails yet the latter ignored like a buffalo . anvīyamānas tair vālī bhrājate 'mbaramadhyagah, anvīyamāno meghaughair ambarastha ivāmsumān/ te 'saknuvantah samprāptam vālinam rāksasottamāh, tasya bāhūruvegena pariśrāntah patanti ca/vālimārgād apākrāman parvatendrā hi gacchatah, kim punarjeevana prepsurvibhadra vai maamsa shoshitam / Well behind Ravana were the rakshasa mantris while Vaali was far head like Amshumaali Surya was leading ahead of the clouds of Ravana and the Rakshasaas. Even Rakshasa Mantris were unable to reach and match the speed of the Vanara Raja and were tired out chasing. Vaali's 'marga teevrata' was such that even mountain shikharaas were well crossed over, and indeed could 'rakta maamsa shareera rakshasaas' everbe able to overcome that alacrity and speed! apaksiganasampāto vānarendro mahājavah, kramasah sāgarān sarvān samdhyākālam avandata/ sabhājyamāno bhūtais tu khecaraih khecaro harih, paścimam sāgaram vālī ājagāma sarāvanah/ tatra samdhyām upāsitvā snātvā japtvā ca vānarah, uttaram sāgaram prāvād vahamāno

daśānanam/ uttare sāgare samdhyām upāsitvā daśānanam, vahamāno 'gamad vālī pūrvam ambumahānidhim/Even by the time that Vaali was able to conclude his sandhayayandana, then even the pakshivega rakshasaas were hardly able to reach Vaali. As Vaali was performing his samudra yaatras, akaasha chaari divya ganaas paid tributes to the King of Vaanaraas while Ravana continued to be under duress, reached the western ocean too. There he had formally performed his sandhya vandana formally again. Like Vaayu so was Vaali and with 'manovega samaana vega maha vaanara' had thus reached uttara samudra even as Ravana had to obviously follow under the unbearable Vaali's squeeze. tatrāpi samdhyām anvāsya vāsaviḥ sa harīśvaraḥ, kiṣkindhābhi -mukho grhya rāvaṇam punar āgamat/ caturṣv api samudresu samdhyām anvāsya vānarah, rāvanodvahanaśrāntah kiskindhopavane 'patat/ Thus the sandhya vandana karyakrama was concluded the Indraputra Vaali Raja entered the Kishkindha's upavana. rāvanam tu mumocātha svakaksāt kapisattamah, kutas tvam iti covāca prahasan rāvanam prati/ vismayam tu mahad gatvā śramalokanirīksanah, rāksasešo harīśam tam idam vacanam abravīt/ vānarendra mahendrābha rākṣasendro 'smi rāvaṇaḥ, yuddhepsur aham samprāptah sa cādyāsāditas tvayā/Then Vali released Ravana from his tail and exclaimed at Ravana; 'tell me Rakshas King! when and from where had you arrived! Ravana was yet to recover from his shock and bewiderment at Vali's 'adbhuta paraakrama' and exclaimed: aho balam aho vīryam aho gambhīratā ca te, yenāham paśuvad grhya bhrāmitas caturo 'rṇavān/ evam asrāntavad vīra sīghram eva ca vānara, mām caivodvahamānas tu ko 'nyo vīraḥ kramiṣyati/ trayāṇām eva bhūtānām gatir eṣā plavamgama, mano 'nilasuparṇānām tava vā nātra samsayah/so 'ham dṛṣtabalas tubhyam icchāmi haripumgaya, tyayā saha ciram sakhyam susnigdham pāvakāgratah/King of Vanaraas! Of what kind of 'adbhula parakrama' are you of! You had dragged me like of a 'pashu' and taken me to 'chatur samudras'. Vaanara veera! Could there ever be Shura Veeara who could have me dragged being of your calibre! I have merely heard so far of such strength and valor of mano-vaayu- garudas so far but you are 'par excellence! Kapi Shreshtha! To day I have witnessed that are of 'bala-paraakramas'. dārāh putrāh puram rāstram bhogācchādanabhojanam, sarvam evāvibhaktam nau bhavisyati harīśvara/ tatah prajvālayitvāgnim tāv ubhau harirāksasau, bhrātṛtvam upasampannau pariṣvajya parasparam/ anyonyam lambitakarau tatas tau harirākṣasau, kişkindhām viśatur hṛṣṭau simhau giriguhām iva/ VaanaraRaja! May you be under the full control of srtee-putra-nagara-rajya-bhoga-vastra-bhojanaadis in your rajya; so saying Rayana had forcefully embraced Vali and assured of his camaraderie in place of his arrogant challenge replaced with humiliation. Then like two maha simhas both entered Kishindhaapuri like two lions entered the same mountain cave. evam etat purāvrttam vālinā rāvanah prabho, dharsitas ca krtas cāpi bhrātā pāvakasamnidhau/ balam apratimam rāma vālino 'bhavad uttamam, so 'pi tayā vinirdagdhah śalabho vahninā yathā/ Thus Maha Muni Agastya explained to Shri Rama as to how Ravana was truly humbled instead of tumpeting all over of his great victory series.! They had henceforth established firm relations as mutual brotherhood by agni saakshi pramaana. Shri Rama! Vaali was indeed of 'ayanta bali parakrama' yet his baana samuhas were burnt off in the mutual 'agni pramaanaas'.

Sarga Thirty Five

Anjaneya,s 'janana-shaishavaavastha'- his ability to float even to reach Surya-mistake Rahu as Surya-angry Indra defended Rahu hitting the child with vajrayudha- enraged Vayu stopped breathings of trilokas

Aprcchata tato rāmo dakṣiṇāśālayam munim, prāñjalir vinayopeta idam āha vaco 'rthavat/ atulam balam etābhyām vālino rāvaṇasya ca, na tv etau hanumadvīryaiḥ samāv iti matir mama/ śauryam dākṣyam balam dhairyam prājňatā nayasādhanam, vikramaś ca prabhāvaś ca hanūmati krtālayāḥ/ drṣṭvodadhim viṣīdantīm tadaiṣa kapivāhinīm, samāśvāsya kapīn bhūyo yojanānām śatam plutaḥ/ dharṣayitvā purīm lankām rāvaṇāntaḥpuram tathā, drṣṭvā sambhāṣitā cāpi sītā viśvāsitā tathā/ senāgragā mantrisutāḥ kimkarā rāvaṇātmajaḥ, ete hanumatā tatra ekena vinipātitāḥ/ bhūyo bandhād vimuktena sambhāṣitvā daśānanam, lankā bhasmīkrtā tena pāvakeneva medinī/ na kālasya na śakrasya na viṣṇor vittapasya ca, karmāṇi tāni śrūyante yāni yuddhe hanūmataḥ/ etasya bāhuvīryeṇa lankā sītā ca lakṣmaṇaḥ, prāpto mayā jayaś caiva rājyam mitrāṇi bāndhavāḥ/ hanūmān yadi me na syād vānarādhipateḥ sakhā,

pravrttam api ko vettum jānakyāh śaktimān bhavet/ kimartham vālī caitena sugrīvapriyakāmyayā, tadā vaire samutpanne na dagdho vīrudho yathā/ na hi veditavān manye hanūmān ātmano balam, yad drstavāñ jīvitestam kliśyantam vānarādhipam/ etan me bhagavan sarvam hanūmati mahāmune, vistarena yathātattvam kathayāmarapūjita/ rāghavasya vacah śrutvā hetuyuktam ṛṣis tataḥ, hanūmataḥ samakṣam tam idam yacanam abrayīt/ satyam etad raghuśrestha yad brayīsi hanūmatah, na bale vidyate tulyo na gatau na matau paraḥ/ amoghaśāpaiḥ śāpas tu datto 'sya ṛṣibhiḥ purā na veditā balaṁ yena balī sann arimardanah/ bālye 'py etena yat karma kṛtam rāma mahābala, tan na varṇayitum śakyam atibālatavāsva te/ vadi vāsti tv abhiprāvas tac chrotum tava rāghava, samādhāva matim rāma niśāmava vadāmy aham/ sūryadattavarasvarnah sumerur nāma parvatah, yatra rājyam praśāsty asya kesarī nāma vai pitā/ tasya bhāryā babhūvestā hy añjaneti pariśrutā, janayām āsa tasyām vai vāyur ātmajam uttamam/ śāliśūkasamābhāsam prāsūtemam tadāñjanā, phalāny āhartukāmā vai niskrāntā gahane carā/ esa mātur viyogāc ca ksudhayā ca bhrśārditah, ruroda śiśur atyartham śiśuh śarabharād iva/ tatodyantam vivasvantam japāpuspotkaropamam, dadrše phalalobhāc ca utpapāta ravim prati/ bālārkābhimukho bālo bālārka iva mūrtimān, grahītukāmo bālārkam plavate 'mbaramadhyagah/ etasmin playamāne tu śiśubhāye hanūmati, deyadānayasiddhānām vismayah sumahān abhūt/ nāpy eyam yegayān vāyur garudo na manas tathā, yathāyam vāyuputras tu kramate 'mbaram uttamam/ yadi tāvac chiśor asya īdṛśau gativikramau, yauvanam balam āsādya katham vego bhaviṣyati/ tam anuplavate vāyuḥ playantam putram ātmanah, sūryadāhabhayād raksams tusāracayaśītalah/ bahuyojanasāhasram kramaty esa tato 'mbaram, pitur balāc ca bālyāc ca bhāskarābhyāśam āgatah/ śiśur esa tv adosajña iti matvā divākaraḥ, kāryam cātra samāyattam ity evam na dadāha saḥ/yam eva divasam hy eṣa grahītum bhāskaram plutaḥ, tam eva divasam rāhur jighrkṣati divākaram anena ca parāmrṣṭo rāma sūryarathopari, apakrāntas tatas trasto rāhuś candrārkamardanah/ sa indrabhavanam gatvā sarosah simhikāsutaḥ, abravīd bhrukuṭīm kṛtvā devam devagaṇair vṛtam/ bubhukṣāpanayam dattvā candrārkau mama vāsava, kim idam tat tvayā dattam anyasya balavṛṭrahan/ adyāham parvakāle tu jighṛksuh sūryam āgatah, athānyo rāhur āsādya jagrāha sahasā ravim/ sa rāhor vacanam śrutvā vāsavah sambhramānvitah, utpapātāsanam hitvā udvahan kāñcanasrajam/ tatah kailāsakūtābham caturdantam madasravam, śrngārakāriṇam prāmśum svarṇaghaṇṭāṭṭahāsinam/ indraḥ karīndram āruhya rāhum kṛtvā puraḥsaram, prāyād yatrābhavat sūryaḥ sahānena hanūmatā/ athātirabhasenāgād rāhur utsrjya vāsavam, anena ca sa vai drsta ādhāvañ śailakūtavat/ tatah sūrvam samutsriya rāhum evam aveksva ca, utpapāta punar vyoma grahītum simhikāsutam/ utsrjyārkam imam rāma ādhāvantam plavamgamam, drstvā rāhuh parāvrtva mukhaśesah parānmukhah/ indram āśamsamānas tu trātāram simhikāsutah, indra indreti samtrāsān muhur muhur abhāsata/ rāhor vikrosamānasya prāg evālaksitah svarah, śrutvendrovāca mā bhaisīr ayam enam nihanmy aham/ airāvatam tato drstvā mahat tad idam ity api, phalam tam hastirājānam abhidudrāva mārutih/ tadāsya dhāvato rūpam airāvatajighṛksayā, muhūrtam abhavad ghoram indrāgnyor iva bhāsvaram/ evam ādhāvamānam tu nātikruddhaḥ śacīpatiḥ, hastāntenātimuktena kuliśenābhyatāḍayat/ tato girau papātaiṣa indravajrābhitāditaḥ, patamānasya caitasya vāmo hanur abhajyata/ tasmims tu patite bāle vajratādanavihvale, cukrodhendrāya pavanah prajānām aśivāya ca/vinmūtrāśayam āvrtva prajāsv antargatah prabhuh, rurodha sarvabhūtāni vathā varsāni vāsavah/ vāvuprakopād bhūtāni nirucchvāsāni sarvatah, samdhibhir bhajvamānāni kāṣṭhabhūtāni jajñire/ niḥsvadham nirvaṣaṭkāram niṣkriyam dharmavarjitam, vāyuprakopāt trailokyam nirayastham ivābabhau/ tatah prajāh sagandharvāh sadevāsuramānusāh, prajāpatim samādhāvann asukhārtāh sukhaisinah/ ūcuh prāñjalayo devā darodaranibhodarāh, tvayā sma bhagavan sṛstāh prajānātha caturvidhāh/ tvayā datto 'yam asmākam āyusah pavanah patih, so 'smān prāneśvaro bhūtvā kasmād eṣo 'dya sattama, rurodha duḥkham janayann antaḥpura iva striyaḥ/ tasmāt tvām śaraṇam prāptā vāyunopahatā vibho, vāyusamrodhajam duḥkham idam no nuda śatruhan/ etat prajānām śrutvā tu prajānāthaḥ prajāpatiḥ, kāraṇād iti tān uktvā prajāh punar abhāṣat/ yasmin vaḥ kāraṇe vāyuś cukrodha ca rurodha ca, prajāḥ śṛṇudhvaṁ tat sarvaṁ śrotavyaṁ cātmanaḥ kṣamam/ putras tasyāmareśena indrenādya nipātitah, rāhor vacanam ājñāya rājñā vah kopito 'nilah/ aśarīrah śarīresu vāyuś carati pālayan, śarīram hi vinā vāyum samatām yāti renubhih/ vāyuh prānāh sukham vāyur vāyuh sarvam idam jagat, vāyunā samparityaktam na sukham vindate jagat/ adyaiva ca parityaktam vāyunā jagad āyuṣā, adyaiveme nirucchvāsāh kāsthakudvopamāh sthitāh/ tad vāmas tatra vatrāste māruto rukprado hi vah,

mā vināśam gamiṣyāma aprasādyāditeḥ sutam/ tataḥ prajābhiḥ sahitaḥ prajāpatiḥ; sadevagandharva - bhujamgaguhyakaḥ, jagāma tatrāsyati yatra mārutaḥ; sutam surendrābhihatam pragṛhya saḥ/ tato 'rkavaiśvānarakāñcanaprabham; sutam tadotsangagatam sadāgateḥ, caturmukho vīkṣya kṛpām athākarot; sadevasiddharṣibhujamgarākṣasaḥ/

Shri Rama having heard from Maha Muni Agastya of Ravana's disgraced attack on Vaanara King Vaali and their subsequent friendship, remarked that neither Ravana nor Vaali could match that of Veera Hanuman anyway. śauryam dākṣyam balam dhairyam prājñatā nayasādhanam, vikramaś ca prabhāvaś ca hanūmati kṛtālayāḥ/ dṛṣṭvodadhim viṣīdantīm tadaiṣa kapivāhinīm, samāśvāsya kapīn bhūyo vojanānām śatam plutah/ dharsavitvā purīm lankām rāvanāntahpuram tathā, dṛstvā sambhāsitā cāpi sītā viśvāsitā tathā/Hanuman is abounding in the qualities of shurata-dakshata-bala-dharya-buddhimatta-neetiparakrama and prabhava undoubtedly. On seeing the vaanara seva was frightened, but veera Hanuman jumped off the hundred yojanas of distance of the Maha Samudra in one long jump! Further he having swarupa of Lankapuri's 'adhi daivika swarupa' had hardly stunned him and was able to see, met, and conversed with Devi Sita convincingly with 'dhairya sahasaas' besides with dexterity. senāgragā mantrisutāḥ kimkarā rāvaṇātmajaḥ, ete hanumatā tatra ekena vinipātitāḥ/ bhūyo bandhād vimuktena sambhāṣitvā daśānanam, lankā bhasmīkṛtā tena pāvakeneva medinī/ na kālasya na śakrasya na viṣṇor vittapasya ca, karmāni tāni śrūyante yāni yuddhe hanūmatah/ etasya bāhuvīryena lankā sītā ca laksmanah, prāpto mayā jayaś caiva rājyam mitrāni bāndhavāh/There from Ashokavana itself, being single handed destroyed Ravana's senapatis, mantrikumaraas, rakshasa veeraas, and Ravana putra Akshaya Kumara had devastated. Thereafter having feigned Meghanaada's naaga paasha got out of it voluntarily, conversed with King Ravana with dharya sahasaas, and burn off the best part of Lankapuri to heaps of ashes. In the context of Yuddha parakrama, Hanuman was veerataa purna karma kriyas negating even Kaala Deva, Indra, Bhagavan Vishnu, Varunaas. Muneeswara! It indeed was that owing to Hanuman's crucial advice that I was enabled to make friendhip with Vibhishana, besides of course my own 'kaya dakshata and baahubala' attained me the shatru vijaya, Lanka Rajya, Ayodhya Rajya and Sita, bandhujana prapapti along with Lakshmana. hanūmān yadi me na syād vānarādhipateh sakhā, pravṛttam api ko vettum jānakyāh śaktimān bhavet/ kimartham vālī caitena sugrīvaprivakāmvayā, tadā vaire samutpanne na dagdho vīrudho yathā/ na hi veditavān manye hanūmān ātmano balam, yad dṛṣṭavāñ jīviteṣṭam kliśyantam vānarādhipam/ etan me bhagavan sarvam hanūmati mahāmune, vistareṇa vathātattvam kathavāmarapūjita/ If I were not have met Hanuman, could I have attained Sugriva maitri and 'Sitaanveshana' ever! I still would not comprehend that as Sugriva and Vaali became rivals, I burnt off the davaanala vriksha and how Vaali too could have been burnt off in the same agni too! I guess that Hanuman was aware of his own latent energy. That was why his dear Sugriva was not saved far earlier! Deva vandya Maha Muni! Do kindly inform me more detailed information about Veera Hanuman. Then Agastya narrated the following: satyam etad raghuśrestha yad bravīṣi hanūmataḥ, na bale vidyate tulyo na gatau na matau paraḥ/ amoghaśāpaiḥ śāpas tu datto 'sya ṛṣibhiḥ purā na veditā balaṁ yena balī sann arimardanah/ bālve 'pv etena vat karma krtam rāma mahābala, tan na varnavitum sakvam atibāla tayāsya te/Raghukulatilaka Shri Rama! What all had been informed by you was indeed truthful. There would never be anybody else in 'srishti' like Hanuman, be it his bala-buddhi-gati and so on. Raghu nandana! In the hoary past, a Maha Muni's 'shaapa mahima' was responsible to him to become aware his own magnificence. In his very childhood too he had performed such memorable acts which were unbelievable. Those days in his 'baalya dasha' what all that he had executed are unbelievable. Do listen to me carefully: yadi vāsti tv abhiprāyas tac chrotum tava rāghava, samādhāya matim rāma niśāmaya vadāmy aham/ sūryadattavarasvarņah sumerur nāma parvatah, yatra rājyam praśāsty asya keṣarī nāma vai pitā/ tasya bhāryā babhūveṣṭā hy añjaneti pariśrutā, janayām āsa tasyām vai vāyur ātmajam uttamam/ śāliśūkasamābhāsam prāsūtemam tadānjanā, phalāny āhartukāmā vai niṣkrāntā gahane carā/ Raghunandana! Bhagavan Surya Deva's varadaana mahima, Hanuman's physique assumed ever golden colour, while his father Kesari was the King of Kesari Rajya near Sumeru Parvata. Kesari's wife was the well famed Devi Anjana. From her garbha was born the Anjana Putra Anjaneya. As Anjanaya was born in peak winter time he was of the pingala varna like of rice grain's agra bhaaga. One day mother Anjana

moved out of their 'ashrama', she desired to secure an 'anjana phala' by 'vihanga maarga'. That precisely was the time that baala putra of Anjana felt hungry and thirsty and was crying away ceaselessly like Kartitaya in the sarakanda vana eşa mātur viyogāc ca kşudhayā ca bhṛśārditah, ruroda śiśur atyartham śiśuh śarabharād iva/ tatodyantam vivasvantam japāpuspotkaropamam, dadrśe phalalobhāc ca utpapāta ravim prati/ bālārkābhimukho bālo bālārka iva mūrtimān, grahītukāmo bālārkam plavate 'mbara madhyagah/ As Anjana was away, Shishu Anjaneya then mistook Surya Deva as a luscious bright fruit and jumped off from his bed and tried all our efforts to jump up from the bed and got air floated up and up the sky. etasmin playamāne tu śiśubhāve hanūmati, devadānavasiddhānām vismayah sumahān abhūt/ nāpy evam vegavān vāyur garudo na manas tathā, yathāyam vāyuputras tu kramate 'mbaram uttamam/ vadi tāvac chiśor asya īdrśau gativikramau, yauvanam balam āsādya katham vego bhavisyati/ As the saishava Anjanaputra was flying up and up, Deva Danava Yakshas were surprised thinking that this Vayuputra was seeking to reach the high skies, was he imitating Vayu Deva or Garuda Deva! If this shishu were like this, what could happen when he might be grown up to be youthful!tam anuplavate vāyuḥ plavantam putram ātmanaḥ, sūryadāhabhayād rakṣams tuṣāracayaśītalaḥ/ bahuyojanasāhasram kramaty esa tato 'mbaram, pitur balāc ca bālyāc ca bhāskarābhyāsam āgatah/ sisur esa ty adosajña iti matvā divākaraḥ, kāryaṁ cātra samāyattam ity evaṁ na dadāha saḥ/Then Vayu Deva was then concerned that this 'shishu' was heading to Surya then he might not be burnt off by the severity of Surya and thus carried loads of ice behind the child. In this manner, baalaanjaneya tried to make the best of his father's speed and strength and had almost reached Surva Deva. Surva Deva realised that Vaayuputra was indeed a child and having considered as a deva karya had therefore diminished his severity of heat to the minimum and did not burn off the shishu.yam eva divasam hy eşa grahītum bhāskaram plutaḥ, tam eva divasam rāhur jighṛkṣati divākaram/ anena ca parāmṛṣṭo rāma sūryarathopari, apakrāntas tatas trasto rāhuś candrārkamardanah/ sa indrabhavanam gatvā sarosah simhikāsutah, abravīd bhrukutīm krtvā devam devaganair vṛtam/ bubhuksāpanayam dattvā candrārkau mama vāsava, kim idam tat tvayā dattam anyasya balavrtrahan/ That was the time that Rahu Deva was attempting to devour Surya. Anjaneya having noticed that Rahu Deva was trying to catch up the Surya Ratha, then Rahu the all potent devourer of Chandra and Surya had withdrawn from his abortive endeavour to devour Surya having been afraid of a third party intervention. Then Simhika Putra Rahu out of anger entered the Indra Bhavana and reprimanded Indra as to why he had allowed a third party to devour Surva instead agianst the established principle of the Universe! Rahu shouted at Indra: 'Vritraasura vadha kaarana Vaasava! Why had you allowed this kind of intervention had been arrogated all by yourself! advāham parvakāle tu jighrksuh sūryam āgatah, athānyo rāhur āsādya jagrāha sahasā ravim/ sa rāhor vacanam śrutvā vāsavah sambhramānvitah, utpapātāsanam hitvā udvahan kāñcanasrajam/ tatah kailāsakūtābham caturdantam madasravam, srngārakārinam prāmsum svarnaghantāttahāsinam/ indrah karīndram āruhya rāhum krtvā puraḥsaram, prāyād yatrābhavat sūryaḥ sahānena hanūmatā/ To day being the Amavasya day, I felt that I should get readied to devour Surya, but you seem to have most suddenly altered the principle, but why and how! Then Indra too was concerned and even was afraid of the intervention in the conduct of natural justice having been tampered with and ascended his Iravata vahana wit Rahu Deva ahead of him and discovered 'baalaanjaneya' in the action. tatah sūryam samutsriya rāhum evam ayeksya ca, utpapāta punar vyoma grahītum simhikāsutam/ utsrjyārkam imam rāma ādhāvantam plavamgamam, drstvā rāhuḥ parāvṛtya mukhaśesah parānmukhah/ indram āśamsamānas tu trātāram simhikāsutah, indra indreti samtrāsān muhur muhur abhāsata/Then Baalaajaneya had mistaken Rahu as Surya and sought to attack Rahu instead of Surva and made a long jump forward at Rahu. Then Rahu got bevildered as strange situations were occuring that amavasya day! Then Simhika putra Rahu Deva had reached Indra for self defence sreeching away! rāhor vikrośamānasya prāg evālakṣitaḥ svaraḥ, śrutvendrovāca mā bhaiṣīr ayam enam nihanmy aham/airāvatam tato dṛṣṭvā mahat tad idam ity api, phalam tam hastirājānam abhidudrāva mārutih/ tadāsya dhāvato rūpam airāvatajighrkṣayā, muhūrtam abhavad ghoram indrāgnyor iva bhāsvaram/ evam ādhāvamānam tu nātikruddhah śacīpatih, hastāntenātimuktena kuliśenābhyatādayat/ Indra then consoled Rahu and stated: 'Rahu! Don't you get alarmed, I shall soon subdue the one attacking you. Meanwhile, baalaanjaneya saw the Iravata on whose top Indra was seated and felt that the elephant too was interesting to be devoured in and started running after Iravata on which

Indra was seated upon. Now Shachipati Indra got furious as the child was getting berserk and hurled his Vajrayudha on the Vayuputra. tato girau papātaisa indravajrābhitāditah, patamānasya caitasya vāmo hanur abhajyata/ tasmims tu patite bāle vajratādanavihvale, cukrodhendrāya pavanah prajānām aśivāya ca/ viņmūtrāśayam āvṛtya prajāsv antargataḥ prabhuḥ, rurodha sarvabhūtāni yathā varṣāṇi vāsavaḥ/ vāvuprakopād bhūtāni nirucchvāsāni sarvatah, samdhibhir bhajvamānāni kāsthabhūtāni jajñire/ As the vajrayudha was tossed at the Baala Vaanara, he fell down steeply on a parvata shikhara. Then the left HANU or the Jaw was broken and there after Anjaneya came to be called as HANUMAN! This resulted in the fury of Vayu Deva on Mahendra and having taken Anjaaa Putra into that very mountain cave had withdrawn him self thus impacting the 'ucchvaasa-nishvaasaas' or the normal breathing process of the common prajas. nihsvadham nirvasatkāram niskriyam dharmavarjitam, vāyuprakopāt trailokyam nirayastham ivābabhau/ tatah prajāh sagandharvāh sadevāsuramānusāh, prajāpatim samādhāvann asukhārtāh sukhaisinah/ ūcuh prāñjalayo devā darodaranibhodarāh, tvayā sma bhagavan sṛstāh prajānātha caturvidhāh/ As the normal breathing was affected the Beings in srishti and triloka pranis were of 'chetanaa shunyata' or of any limb movement as of dead bodies being senseless and lifeless. In trilokas, there was neither 'veda swadhyaaya' nor 'yaginaacharana'. Dharma Karmas were ceased and tribhubana pranis experienced 'naraka yaatana'. Then, gandharva,devata,asura-manushyas made frantick appealed to the Srishtikarta Brahma Deva. Meanwhile devataas got their bowels bloated with mahodara roga. They addressed Brahma: 'Bhagavan! You have made chaturvidha srishti and entrusted to Vayu Deva. tvayā datto 'yam asmākam āyusah pavanah patih, so 'smān prāneśvaro bhūtvā kasmād eso 'dya sattama, rurodha duḥkham janayann antaḥpura iva striyaḥ/ tasmāt tvām śaraṇam prāptā vāyunopahatā vibho, vāyusamrodhajam duhkham idam no nuda satruhan/ etat prajānām srutvā tu prajānāthah prajāpatiḥ, kāraṇād iti tān uktvā prajāḥ punar abhāṣat/ Vayu Deva is our praneshwara and now as the antahpura strees we are incapacitated to live or lay dead; this situation is neither life nor of death. Hence our refuge unto you. Prajapati Deva! do very kindly relieve us from this Vayujanita naraka baadha at once. Then Brahma replied: yasmin vah kārane vāyuś cukrodha ca rurodha ca, prajāh śrnudhvam tat sarvam śrotavyam cātmanah ksamam/ putras tasyāmareśena indrenādya nipātitah, rāhor vacanam ājñāya rājñā vaḥ kopito 'nilaḥ/ aśarīraḥ śarīreṣu vāyuś carati pālayan, śarīram hi vinā vāyum samatām yāti renubhih/ vāvuh prānāh sukham vāvur vāvuh sarvam idam jagat, vāvunā samparitvaktam na sukham vindate jagat/ Praja loka! Vayu Deva was annoyed due to a cause and effect cyclical impact. Indra got Rahu Graha's complaint and hit Vayuputra and Vayu Deva got annoyed and stopped performing his normal duty of keeping your lives ticking. Thus indeed without Vayu the bodies of all the Beings are left high and dried. Hence in the case of non coperation of Vayu entire jagat is stand still. tatah prajābhih sahitah prajāpatih; sadevagandharva -bhujamgaguhyakah, jagāma tatrāsyati yatra mārutah; sutam surendrābhihatam pragrhya sah/ tato 'rkavaiśvānarakāñcanaprabham; sutam tadotsangagatam sadāgateh, caturmukho vīkṣya kṛpām athākarot; sadevasiddharṣibhujamgarākṣasaḥ/ Then Prajapati himself led a procession of Deva, Gandharva, Naaga, Guhyakaas and praja too reached Vayu Deva who was mourning his son's loss of life and reached the Chaturmukha Brahma Deva who took pity on the child's status of virtual non existence.

Sarga Thirty Six

Agastya Muni narrates Anjaneya's origin-childhood leelaas- encounter with Surya, Indra's vajra prahara, Vayu Deva stops breathings, Brahma's revival of the child, his Muni's shaapa of forgetfulness

Tataḥ pitāmaham dṛṣṭvā vāyuḥ putravadhārditaḥ, śiśukam tam samādāya uttasthau dhātur agrataḥ/calatkuṇḍalamaulisraktapanīyavibhūṣaṇaḥ, pādayor nyapatad vāyus tisro 'vasthāya vedhase/ tam tu vedavidādyas tu lambābharaṇaśobhinā, vāyum utthāpya hastena śiśum tam parimṛṣṭavān/ spṛṣṭamātras tataḥ so 'tha salīlam padmajanmanā, jalasiktam yathā sasyam punar jīvitam āptavān/ prāṇavantam imam dṛṣṭvā prāṇo gandhavaho mudā, cacāra sarvabhūteṣu samniruddham yathāpurā/ marudrogavinirmuktāḥ prajā vai muditābhavan, śītavātavinirmuktāḥ padminya iva sāmbujāḥ/ tatas triyugmas trikakut tridhāmā tridaśārcitaḥ, uvāca devatā brahmā mārutapriyakāmyayā/ bho

mahendrāgnivarunadhaneśvaramaheśvarāh, jānatām api tat sarvam hitam vaksyāmi śrūyatām/ anena śiśunā kāryam kartavyam vo bhavisyati, dadatāsya varān sarve mārutasyāsya tustidān/ tatah sahasranayanah prītiraktah śubhānanah, kuśe śayamayīm mālām samutkṣipyedam abravīt/ matkarotsṛṣṭavajreṇa hanur asya yathā kṣataḥ, nāmnaiṣa kapiśārdūlo bhavitā hanumān iti/ aham evāsya dāsvāmi paramam varam uttamam, atah prabhrti vairasva mamāvadhvo bhavisvati/ mārtāndas tv abravīt tatra bhagavāms timirāpahah, tejaso 'sya madīyasya dadāmi śatikām kalām/ yadā tu śāstrāny adhyetum śaktir asya bhavişyati, tadāsya śāstram dāsyāmi yena vāgmī bhavişyati/ varuņaś ca varam prādān nāsya mrtvur bhavisvati,varsāvutašatenāpi matpāšād udakād api/ vamo 'pi dandāvadhvatvam arogatvam ca nityaśah, diśate 'sya varam tusta avisādam ca samyuge/ gadeyam māmikā nainam samyugesu vadhisyati, ity evam varadah prāha tadā hy ekāksipingalah/ matto madāyudhānām ca na vadhyo 'yam bhavisyati, ity evam śamkarenāpi datto 'sya paramo varah/ sarvesām brahmadandānām avadhyo 'yam bhavisyati, dīrghāyuś ca mahātmā ca iti brahmābravīd vacah/ viśvakarmā tu drstvainam bālasūryopamam śiśum, śilpinām pravaraḥ prāha varam asya mahāmatiḥ/ vinirmitāni devānām āyudhānīha yāni tu, teṣām samgrāmakāle tu avadhyo 'yam bhavisyati/ tatah surānām tu varair drstvā hy enam alamkrtam, caturmukhas tustamukho vāvum āha jagadguruh/ amitrānām bhayakaro mitrānām abhayamkarah, ajeyo bhavitā te 'tra putro mārutamārutiḥ/ rāvaņotsādanārthāni rāmaprītikarāṇi ca, romaharṣakarāṇy eṣa kartā karmāṇi samyuge/ evam uktvā tam āmantrya mārutam te 'maraiḥ saha, yathāgatam yayuḥ sarve pitāmahapurogamāh/ so 'pi gandhavahah putram pragrhya grham ānayat, añjanāyāstam ākhyāya varam dattam vinihsṛtah/ prāpya rāma varān esa varadānabalānvitah, balenātmani samsthena so 'pūryata yathārṇavaḥ/ balenāpūryamāṇo hi eṣa vānarapuṃgavaḥ, āśrameṣu maharsīṇām aparādhyati nirbhayaḥ/ srugbhāṇḍān agnihotram ca valkalānām ca samcayān, bhagnavicchinnavidhvastān suśāntānām karoty ayam/ sarveṣām brahmadaṇḍānām avadhyam brahmaṇā kṛtam, jānanta ṛṣayas tam vai kṣamante tasya nityaśaḥ/ yadā keṣariṇā tv eṣa vāyunā sāñjanena ca, pratiṣiddho 'pi maryādām laṅghayaty eva vānaraḥ/ tato maharsayah kruddhā bhrgvangirasavamsajāh, sepur enam raghusrestha nātikruddhātimanyavah/ bādhase yat samāśritya balam asmān plavamgama, tad dīrghakālam vettāsi nāsmākam śāpamohitah/ tatas tu hṛtatejaujā maharsivacanaujasā, eso śramāni nātyeti mṛdubhāvagataś caran/ aatha ṛksarajā nāma vālisugrīvayoḥ pitā, sarvavānararājāsīt tejasā iva bhāskaraḥ/ sa tu rājyam ciram kṛtvā vānarāṇām harīśvarah, tatas tvarksarajā nāma kāladharmena samgatah/ tasminn astamite vālī mantribhir mantrakovidaih, pitrye pade krto rājā sugrīvo vālinah pade/ sugrīvena samam tv asva advaidham chidravarjitam, ahāryam sakhyam abhavad anilasya yathāgninā/ eṣa śāpavaśād eva na vedabalam ātmanah, vālisugrīvayor vairam yadā rāma samutthitam/ na hv esa rāma sugrīvo bhrāmyamāno 'pi vālinā, vedayāno na ca hy esa balam ātmani mārutih/ parākramotsāhamatipratāpaih; sauśīlyamādhuryanayānayaiś ca, gāmbhīryacāturyasuvīryadhairyair; hanūmatah ko 'py adhiko 'sti loke/ asau purā vyākaranam grahīsyan; sūryonmukhah pṛsthagamah kapīndrah, udvadgirer astagirim jagāma; grantham mahad dhārayad aprameyah/ pravīviviksor iva sāgarasya; lokān didhaksor iva pāvakasya, lokaksayesv eva yathāntakasya; hanūmatah sthāsyati kah purastāt/ eşo 'pi cānye ca mahākapīndrāh; sugrīvamainda dvividāḥ sanīlāḥ, satāratāreyanalāḥ sarambhās; tvatkāraṇād rāma surair hi sṛṣṭāḥ/ tad etat kathitam sarvam van mām tvam pariprechasi, hanūmato bālabhāve karmaitat kathitam mayā/ drstah sambhāsitas cāsi rāma gacchamahe vayam, evam uktvā gatāh sarve rṣayas te yathāgatam, Raghavascha tamevaartham chintayaamaasa vismitah/

As Brahma Deva had arrived, Vayu Deva kept Bala Hanuman on his arms fold and stood still for a while and having folded his legs down fell at Brahma's feet thrice over repeatedly. Brahma raised Vayu and Bala Hanuman. spṛṣṭamātras tataḥ so 'tha salīlam padmajanmanā jalasiktam yathā sasyam punar jīvitam āptavān/ prāṇavantam imam dṛṣṭvā prāṇo gandhavaho mudā, cacāra sarvabhūteṣu samniruddham yathāpurā/ Just as the severely dried up agricultural fields receive gladdening rains, Kamala yoni Brahma Deva's 'mridu hastasprarsha' itself got Bala Hanuman got revived as 'punarjeevita'. As this miracle happened, the 'praana swarupa Vayu Deva' was pleased and removed the obstacle of breathing of sarva pranis. There after Brahma Deva- (who is 'triyugma sampanna' or three couples of six kinds of Aishvarya viz. Opulence, Dharmaacharana, Keerti, Prosperity, Jnaana and Vairagya- Tri Murtidhara viz. of Brahma, Vishnu, Shiva Tri Dasha or three stages of life viz. Baalya,

Pouganda, and Kaishora viz. three devataas of three avasthas or stages of life) addressed Indra, Agni, Varuna, Maha Deva, Kuberaadi devataas as follows: this balaka Anjaneya would bring in several karya iddhis to you all and to please Vayu deva, you may all gove your own boons. Then Indra garlanded the boy and said: matkarotsṛṣṭavajreṇa hanur asya yathā kṣataḥ, nāmnaiṣa kapiśārdūlo bhavitā hanumān iti/ aham evāsva dāsvāmi paramam varam uttamam, atah prabhrti vajrasva mamāvadhvo bhavisvati/ Since the vajrayudha as released from my hands had affected his 'hanu' or jaw the boy would henceforth be famed as Hanuman. Further he should henceforth be immune from Vajraayudha. Then Surya Deva gave the boon to Hanuman that he would always be immune from the severity of heat and Surya's fury. Surya further gave the boon that Hanuman would gain the sarva shastra jnaana and be an orator of outstanding caliber. Then Varuna Deva gave the boon to Hanuman that he would be a deerghaayu for ten lakh years and would be immunised from 'jala paataas' for ever. Yama Dharma Raja blessed him to be ever freed from his yama danda prahaaraas. Then 'pingala varna ekaakshi' Kubera Deva gave the boon that in any kind of clash in yuddhaas, he would never be discontented and none ever could face an enemy who would be left alive. Bhagavan Shankara gave the boon that no trishula be ever hurt him nor be destroyed. Deva shilpi Vishvakarma the the Baala Hanuman would be invincible from any of his 'astra shastra nirmitaas.' Then finally Brahma Deva blessed Veeraanjaneya: amitrāṇām bhayakaro mitrāṇām abhayamkarah, ajeyo bhavitā te 'tra putro mārutamārutiḥ/Kaamarupah kaamachaaree kaamagah plavataam varah, bhayatyaahagatih keertimaamshca bhayishyati/ rāyanotsādanārthāni rāmaprītikarāni ca. romaharsakarāny esa kartā karmāni samyuge/ Maruta! this famed son of yours Maaruti would be as mucha 'simha swapna' to his enemies as equally so helpful to his 'mitras' and none indeed would ever contol him ever. He could change his body as pet his wish and so would me his speed as per his dsire too and this Kapishreshtha would be of sarvakaaaa Yashasvi!' Having blessed Brahma Deva and Devendraadi Devas had disppeared and so did Gandhavaahana Vayu Deva too having left Bala Hanuman free to be himself. Thereafter, Baalaajaneya with no bounds of his own willfulness took to 'sweechha vihaaraas' and dauntlessly went around 'muni maharshi ashramas' with carefree irresponsibilities creating disorder and 'tapo-agni karya bhanga kaaryaas' nonchalantly. Shantachitta Muni Mahatmas witnessed their 'yagjopaveeta paatra saamagris, agnihotra saadhanabhuta shruk-shruva, valkala vastraas torn off and uptet the muni ashramaas. tato maharsayah kruddhā bhrgvangirasa -vamsajāh, sepur enam raghuśrestha nātikruddhātimanyayah/ bādhase yat samāśritya balam asmān playamgama, tad dīrghakālam vettāsi nāsmākam śāpamohitaļ/ tatas tu hṛtatejaujā maharṣivacanaujasā, eṣo śramāṇi nātyeti mrdubhāvagataś caran/ Then the Bhrigu- Angeera vamsheeyaadi vamsheeya Maharshis were dazed and severyly annoyed at the 'atyaachaaraas of Baalaanjaneya'. Then they shouted at Bala Hanuman: 'Vaanara veeera! The very reason of your awareness and the memory of the innumerable blessings and boons as were showered on you by Brahma and Devaas would be forgotten and wiped out from your memory screen although could me revived only after some any other party might remind you again and again. Thereafter Anjaneya had forgotten of his own inherent abilities unless reminded and had since been sobered down thereafter. Further he drifted off and visited places while wandering and reached Riksha Rajya. The Riksha Raja had reigned for long and was blessed with two vaanara putras named Vaali-Sugrivas. Vaali was made the Vanara Raja and Sugriva the yuva raja and both the brothers were closely attached together. Eventually when Vaali Sugrivas were seperated, even then neither of them was aware - much less Hanuman himself was aware of his inner abilities. But indeed, who else could be like him with his latent qualities of paraakrama, utsaaha, buddhi, pratapa, susheelata, madhurata, neetianeeti viveka, gambheerata, chaturata, uttama bala, and dhairya. Hanuman is a 'vyakaranaadhyaayi as also of 'sutra-vritti-maha bhagya-sangraha mahaadhyaayi, being 'shastra jnaana and chhandaadhyana maha vidvaan' comparable to Deva Guru Brishaspati.' Then Maha Muni Agastya described about other Vaanara Veeraas like Sugriva, Mainda, Dwivida, Neela, Taara, Angada, Nala, Rambhaadi maha kapeeshvaraas too who were all of devaamsha sambhutaas. And so were Gaja, Gavaaksha, Gavaya, Mainda, Sandrushthra, Prabha, Jyotimukha, Nalaadi Vaanaraas and of course Jambavan like reechha pramukhas. As Agastya explained in some detail, Shri Rama was truly enlightened of the detailed background of Hanuman!

Sarga Thirty Seven

As Shri Rama was woken up from night long charcha with Agastya by 'Vandee jana' with praises. Then he enters Raja Sabha with Bharata Lakshmana Shatrughna Vibhishana, Sugriva, Hanumans too.

Following his memorable Rajyabhisheka and Maha Muni Agastya samvada on the previous night, Shri Rama was woken up by the Vandeejana in Kinnara swaraas sang his glories: 'Kakutsaanada kara sowmya swarupa Raghu veera, saakshaat Vishnu samaana, Brihaspati tulya praja paalana Prajapati tulyabhaskara samaana - samudra - vayu deva gambheera yukta Maha Raja, bahu paraakhas! Nareshwara! You are of avichala Shankara samana yoddha shakti! Chandranasamana soumyata prayukta! There was none of the unprecedented fame and name of the erstwhile linege of the glittering nakshatha maalaa samaana of maha rajaas now climaxed as Purna Chandra Rama Chandra! Purushottama! Your yuddha karya kushalata is undefeatable being of the nature of 'na bhuto na bhavishtati!' After snaana- agni ahutis along with his brothers and raja purohita Vishishthaadi Muni Panditas, Shri Rama entered to Raja Sabha. There were seated Vanara Raja Sugriva along with Angada, Hanuman, Jambavan, Sushena, Tara, Neela, Nala, Mainda, Dvivida, Kumuda, Sharabha, Shatabali, Gandhamaadana, Gaja, Gavaksha, Gavay a, Dhumra, Rambha and Jyotimukha. Rakshasa Raja Vibhishana too with his mantris too was seated. *Yathaa Deveshvaro nityamrishibhih, adhikastena rupena Sahasraakshaad virochate*/ Just as Mahendra is surrounded by devatas of three crores of strength and of aneka rishis in the Indra Sabha, Shri Rama too was seated with his parivaara.

Sarga Thirty Eight

As Shri Rama was comfortaly seated in his Raja Sabha, Kings Janaka-Kaikeya Raja-Kashi Rajas arrived to congratulate him and left, while 350 kings of far and near rajyas arrived too in admiration of Rama.

Evamaste mahaabaahurahanyahani Raghkavh, prashasat sarva karyani pourajaanapadeshucha/ Tatah katipayaahasuh Vaideham Mthilaadhipam, Raghavah praajjvalirbhutvaavaakyamevacha ha/ Bhagavan hi garirayyagraa bhayataa paalitaa yayam, bhayatastejasogrena raayano nihato mayaa/ Ikshyaakunaam cha saveshah, atulaah preetayo raajan sambandhapurogamaah/Ekamuktvaa tu kaakuststham janako hrashthamaanasah prayayyou mithilaamsrimaamstamanugjnayaa/Vimrsya ca tato rāmo vayasyam akutobhayam, pratardanam kāśipatim parisvajyedam abravīt/ darśitā bhavatā prītir darśitam sauhrdam param, udyogaś ca krto rājan bharatena tvayā saha/ tad bhavān adya kāśeyīm purīm vārānasīm vraja, ramanīyām tvayā guptām suprākārām sutoranām/ etāvad uktvā utthāya kākutsthah paramāsanāt, paryaşvajata dharmātmā nirantaram urogatam/ visrjya tam vayasyam sa svāgatān pṛthivīpatīn, prahasan rāghavo vākyam uvāca madhurākṣaram/ bhavatām prītir avyagrā tejasā parirakṣitā, dharmaś ca niyato nityam satyam ca bhavatām sadā/ yuṣmākam ca prabhāvena tejasā ca mahātmanām/ hato durātmā durbuddhī rāyano rāksasādhipah/ hetumātram aham tatra bhayatām tejasām hatah, rāyanah sagano vuddhe saputrah sahabāndhavah/ bhavantaś ca samānītā bharatena mahātmanā, śrutvā janakarājasva kānane tanayām hrtām/ udyuktānām ca sarveṣām pārthivānām mahātmanām, kālo hy atītaḥ sumahān gamane rocatām matih/ pratyūcus tam ca rājāno harsena mahatānvitāh, distyā tvam vijayī rāma rājyam cāpi pratiṣṭhitam/ diṣṭyā pratyāḥṛtā sītā diṣṭyā śatruḥ parājitaḥ, eṣa naḥ paramaḥ kāma eṣā naḥ kīrtir uttamā/ yat tvām vijayinam rāma paśyāmo hataśātravam, upapannam ca kākutstha yat tvam asmān praśamsasi/ praśamsārhā hi jānanti praśamsām vaktum īdṛśīm, āpṛcchāmo gamiṣyāmo hṛdistho naḥ sadā bhavān/ bhavec ca te mahārāja prītir asmāsu nityadā, baadhamityeva raajaano haesheno paramanvitaah/

Maha baahu Shri Raghunatha had thus initiated his daily routine by being seated with his 'jaanapada vaasa praja' performing his daily routine of administration. Thereafter, Mithila Raja Janaka arrived and blessed his famed son- in- law and conveyed his heart felt congratulations to have killed Ravana the 'loka kanata ka' and departed. Similarly Kaikeya Raja too called on Shri Rama and blessed Shri Rama. Further

Kashi Raja arrived and having applauded cheering up Shri Rama left back to Varanaasi. bhavatām prītir avyagrā tejasā pariraksitā, dharmaś ca niyato nityam satyam ca bhavatām sadā/ yusmākam ca prabhāvena tejasā ca mahātmanām/ hato durātmā durbuddhī rāvaņo rākṣasādhipah/ hetumātram aham tatra bhavatām tejasām hataḥ, rāvaṇaḥ sagaṇo yuddhe saputraḥ sahabāndhavaḥ/ Further Shri Rama found overwhelming responses of some three hundred Kings from far and near Kingdoms and having been cheered up by all of them, replied to them all on his madhura vaani addressed: Friends! I am truly beholden to you all for your affection and camaraderie. You are all dedicated to truthfulness and virtuosity. That indeed why you a have kindly arrived here away from your kingship obligations. It was only owing to your blessings and best wishes that I was able to destroy the evil deeds of Ravanaasura the 'loka maha kantaka'. Be it well known that I was only the figure head for this enormous success. It was all due to your encouragement and blessings that this could be accomplished. In fact entirety of Ravana putras, mantris, bandhu bandhavaas, and sevaka ganaas were all demolished and uprooted in the mahaa yuddha. As Janaka Raja nadini Devi Sita was forcef ully kidnapped by dushtaatma Ravanaasura, Bharata might have intimated to you all. bhavantas ca samānītā bharatena mahātmanā, śrutvā janakarājasya kānane tanayām hrtām/ udvuktānām ca sarvesām pārthivānām mahātmanām, kālo hy atītah sumahān gamane rocatām matiḥ/ pratyūcus tam ca rājāno harṣeṇa mahatānvitāh, diṣṭyā tvam vijayī rāma rājyam cāpi pratiṣṭhitam/ diṣṭyā pratyāḥṛtā sītā diṣṭyā śatruḥ parājitaḥ, eṣa naḥ paramaḥ kāma eṣā naḥ kīrtir uttamā/ Since then and now there was a very long gap of time and it appears that your kind courtesy of calling on me now is perhaps well justified.' As Shri Rama explained like wise, the various Kings clapped with 'harsha ninaadaas' and stated 'Rama! We are all extremely proud of you for this epic like sensational triumph climaxed with your Rajyaabhisheka. In fact this 'prashamshaneeya maha vijaya' is far beyond our combined capabilities worthy of accolades'. Having earnestly admired Shri Rama thus, the groups of co admiring Kings desired to depart back with admiration and approbation.

Sarga Thirty Nine

As the hundreds of Kings from far and near gave precious gifts of akshouhini senas, 'dhana dhanyakanaka vaahanaas', Rama was overwhelmed and donated away to Vaanara Veeras with personal attention.

Te prayātā mahātmānaḥ pārthivāḥ sarvato diśam, kampayanto mahīm vīrāḥ svapurāṇi praḥṛṣṭavat/ aksauhinī sahasrais te samavetās tv anekaśah, hrstāh pratigatāh sarve rāghavārthe samāgatāh/ ūcuś caiva mahīpālā baladarpasamanvitāh, na nāma rāvanam yuddhe paśyāmah puratah sthitam/ bharatena vayam paścāt samānītā nirarthakam, hatā hi rāksasās tatra pārthivaih syur na samśayah/ rāmasya bāhuvīryena pālitā laksmanasya ca, sukham pāre samudrasya yudhyema vigatajvarāh/ etāś cānyāś ca rājānah kathās tatra sahasraśah, kathayantah svarāstrāņi vivišus te mahārathāh/ yathāpurāņi te gatvā ratnāni vividhāni ca, rāmāya priyakāmārtham upahārān nṛpā daduh/ aśvān ratnāni vastrāni hastinaś ca madotkaṭān, candanāni ca divyāni divyāny ābharaṇāni ca/ bharato lakṣmaṇaś caiva śatrughnaś ca mahārathah, ādāya tāni ratnāni ayodhyām agaman punah/ āgatāś ca purīm ramyām ayodhyām purusarsabhāh, daduh sarvāni ratnāni rāghavāva mahātmane/ pratigrhva ca tat sarvam prītivuktah sa rāghavaḥ, sarvāṇi tāni pradadau sugrīvāya mahātmane/ vibhīṣaṇāya ca dadau ye cānye r̥kṣavānarāḥ, hanūmatpramukhā vīrā rāksasāś ca mahābalāh/ te sarve hṛstamanaso rāmadattāni tāny atha, śirobhir dhārayām āsur bāhubhiś ca mahābalāḥ/ papuś caiva sugandhīni madhūni vividhāni ca, māmsāni ca sumṛstāni phalāny āsvādayanti ca/ evam tesām nivasatām māsah sāgro gatas tadā, muhūrtam iva tat sarvam rāmabhaktyā samarthayan/ reme rāmah sa taih sārdham vānaraih kāmarūpibhih, rājabhis ca mahāvīryai rākṣasaiś ca mahābalaiḥ/ evam teṣām yayau māso dvitīyaḥ śaiśiraḥ sukham, vānarāṇām prahrstānām rāksasānām ca sarvasah/

While leaving back to their respective kingdoms, the various Kings left back thousands of elephants, horses and foot soldier groups besides akshouhinis of senaas. The respective Kings stated: ūcuś caiva mahīpālā baladarpasamanvitāḥ, na nāma rāvaṇam yuddhe paśyāmaḥ purataḥ sthitam/ bharatena vayam paścāt samānītā nirarthakam, hatā hi rākṣasās tatra pārthivaiḥ syur na samśayaḥ/ rāmasya bāhuvīryeṇa

pālitā laksmanasya ca, sukham pāre samudrasya yudhyema vigatajvarāh/The various Kings asserted with self confidence even seeming like arrogance somewhat: 'Shri Rama! We had never witnessed the Rama Ravana sangraama nor even a clue of it. Bharat hand never given a hint of it on his return from Rama. If only we were aware of this 'maha yuddha' we too would have fought for you and surely devastated the rayana rakshas sena to ashes. Moreover, we would have nicely planned out to enable the maha setu bandhana in a matter of days and all of us would have uprooted Ravana and his rakshasa sena too within a few days instead of prolonging the battle!' Having asserted thus, the Regional Kings donated dhana dhaanya-diyyaabhusanana- mani mukta-prayalaabharanaas, rupuyati daasis, radha ashya rathikaas and so on and having greeted Bharata-Lakshmana-Shatrughnas, left bach to their respective kingdoms. pratigrhya ca tat sarvam prītiyuktah sa rāghavah, sarvāni tāni pradadau sugrīvāya mahātmane/ vibhīsanāya ca dadau ye cānye ṛkṣavānarāh, hanūmatpramukhā vīrā rākṣaṣāś ca mahābalāh/ te sarve hṛstamanaso rāmadattāni tāny atha, śirobhir dhārayām āsur bāhubhiś ca mahābalāh/ papuś caiva sugandhīni madhūni vividhāni ca, māmsāni ca sumṛṣṭāni phalāny āsvādayanti ca/ Having been truly pleased with the endless gifts showered on Shri Rama, he distributed them all to Sugriva-Vibhishana-Vaanara Rakshasaas who had left to stone upturned in the erstwhile 'maha sangrama'. There after, he took Hanuman and Angada on his laps and addressed Sugriva: 'Sugriva! Angada is my suputra and Hanuman my mantri; these two had been my truthful advisers and thus desreve very special gifts.' So saying Rama removed his own aabharanaas and made them wear on their respective bodies. Later on Raghunadha looked with his benign glances at Neela, Nala, Kesari, Kumuda, Gandhamaadana, Sushena, Panasa, Mainda, Dvivida, Jambavan, Gavaksha, Vinata, Dhunra, Baleemukha, Prajangha, Samnaada, Daromukha, Dadhimukha, and so on and handed over precious gifts. Thereafter Rama had heartily embraced and made him wear an 'amulya mani haara'. evam tesām nivasatām māsah sāgro gatas tadā, muhūrtam iva tat sarvam rāmabhaktyā samarthayan/ reme rāmah sa taih sārdham vānaraih kāmarūpibhih, rājabhiś ca mahāvīryai rāksasaiś ca mahābalaih/ evam tesām yayau māso dvitīyah śaiśirah sukham, vānarānām prahṛstānām rāksasānām ca sarvaśah/ In this manner Rama had taken considerable time with the vaanara pramukhas felicitating them individually with his benevolent glances and thankful gazes, while Vaanara Bhallukas were thrilled with their heartfelt feelings with overflowing tears of joy and ecstasy.

Sarga Forty:

Shri Rama duly performs 'satkaaraas' to Vaanara-Bhalluka-Rakshasaas and provides farewell to them all.

Tathā sma tesām vasatām rksavānararaksasām, rāghavas tu mahātejāh sugrīvam idam abravīt/ gamyatām saumya kişkindhām durādharşam surāsuraiḥ, pālayasva sahāmātyai rājyam nihatakanṭakam/ aṅgadaṁ ca mahābāho prītyā paramayānvitaḥ, paśya tvaṁ hanumantaṁ ca nalaṁ ca sumahābalam/ suṣeṇam śvaśuram śūram tāram ca balinām varam, kumudam caiva durdharṣam nīlam ca sumahābalam/ vīram satabalim caiva maindam dvividam eva ca, gajam gavākṣam gavayam sarabham ca mahābalam/ rkṣarājam ca durdharṣam jāmbavantam mahābalam, paśya prītisamāyukto gandhamādanam eva ca/ye cānye sumahātmāno madarthe tyaktajīvitāḥ, paśya tvam prītisamyukto mā caiṣām vipriyam kṛthāḥ/ evam uktvā ca sugrīvam praśasya ca punah punah, vibhīsanam athovāca rāmo madhurayā girā/ taṅkām praśādhi dharmeṇa sammato hy asi pārthiva, purasya rākṣasānām ca bhrātur vaiśvaraṇasya ca/ mā ca buddhim adharme tvam kurvā rājan katham cana, buddhimanto hi rājāno dhruvam asnanti medinīm/ aham ca nityaśo rājan sugrīvasahitas tvayā, smartavyah parayā prītyā gaccha tvam vigatajvarah/ rāmasya bhāṣitam śrutvā ṛṣkavānararākṣasāḥ, sādhu sādhv iti kākutstham praśaśamsuḥ punaḥ/ buddhir mahābāho vīryam adbhutam eva ca, mādhuryam paramam rāma svayambhor iva nityadā/ teṣām evam bruvāṇānām vānarāṇām ca rakṣasām, hanūmatpraṇato bhūtvā rāghavam vākyam abravīt/ sneho me paramo rājams tvayi nityam pratisthitah, bhaktiś ca niyatā vīra bhāvo nānyatra gacchati/ yāvad rāmakathām vīra śrosye 'ham pṛthivītale, tāvac charīre vatsyantu mama prānā na samśayah/ evam bruvāṇam rājendro hanūmantam athāsanāt,utthāya ca pariṣvajya vākyam etad uvāca ha/ evam etat kapiśrestha bhavitā nātra saṃśavah, lokā hi vāvat sthāsvanti tāvat sthāsvati me kathā/ carisvati kathā

yāval lokān eṣā hi māmikā, tāvac charīre vatsyanti prāṇās tava na saṃśayaḥ/ tato 'sya hāram candrābham mucya kaṇṭhāt sa rāghavaḥ, vaidūryataralam snehād ābabandhe hanūmati/ tenorasi nibaddhena hāreṇa sa mahākapiḥ, rarāja hemaśailendraś candreṇākrāntamastakaḥ/ śrutvā tu rāghavasyaitad utthāyotthāya vānarāḥ, praṇamya śirasā pādau prajagmus te mahābalāḥ/ sugrīvaś caiva rāmeṇa pariṣvakto mahābhujaḥ, vibhīṣaṇaś ca dharmātmā nirantaram urogataḥ/ sarve ca te bāṣpagalāḥ sāśrunetrā vicetasaḥ, sammūḍhā iva duḥkhena tyajante rāghavam tadā/

Shri Rama then addressed Sugriva and Vibhishana along with their respective maha yoddhas who desired to Kishkindha an d Lankapuri respectively. He advised Sugriva foremost: 'Maha Baaho! Kindly look after Angada and Hanuman with 'atyanta premapurna drishti' forever. Treat with 'premapurva drishti' eve the maha balvaan Nala, shvashuura or father in law Sushena, balavan shreshtha Taara, durdharsha veera Kumuda, Maha bali Neela, Veera Shatibala, Mainda, Dwivida, Gaja, Gavaksha, Gavaya, Mahabali Sharabha, Mahabalaparakrami Durjaya veera Riksha Raja Jambavan, and Gandhamaadana, besides parama paraaramis Rishabha, Supaatala, Kesari, Sharabha, Shumbha and Shahankachooda. Apart from these, all the other Vaanara veeraas too all deserve your excellent treatment.' Then Shri Rama gave the parting advice to King Vibhishana too: 'Rakshasa Raja! Do please conduct your kingship duties of 'Lankaa shaasana' as per 'dharma and nyaaya' always as indeed I rate you as an 'ideal dharmagina' anyway. Your 'Lanka nagara vaasis', rahshasa praja, and your brother Kubera too deem you as a dharmagina. Vibhishana Raja! never ever entertain any sort of 'adharma maanasika dourbalyata'. To whosoever of a King does strictly tread the 'dharma nyaaya maarga' should be a King for very long. Raja Vibhishana! You and Sugriva should always recall our mutual bonds of memories and attitudes. Both of you should continue your blessful memories and affinities for ever.' rāmasya bhāṣitaṁ śrutvā rṣkavānararākṣasāḥ, sādhu sādhv iti kākutstham praśaśamsuḥ punaḥ punaḥ/ buddhir mahābāho vīryam adbhutam eva ca, mādhuryam paramam rāma svayambhor iva nityadā/As Shri Rama expressed his heart felt feelings, the 'bhalluka vaanara rakshasa ganaas' were thrilled and profusely complemented Rama. They all expressed that Rama was like Brahma himself to have poured his heart out and greeted him instinctively slogaing: 'dhanya dhaanya'; they further asserted: 'Maha Baahu Shri Rama! Your way of utterances and statemens are truly like of Swayambhu Brahma Himself. Your mindset, flow of thoughts and expressions are replete with 'parama madhurata' and of convincing 'vaak chaturata'. tesām evam bruvāṇānām vānarāṇām ca rakṣasām, hanūmatpraṇato bhūtvā rāghavam vākyam abravīt/ sneho me paramo rājams tvavi nityam pratisthitah, bhaktiś ca niyatā vīra bhāvo nānyatra gacchati/ yāvad rāmakathām vīra śrosye 'ham prthivītale, tāvac charīre vatsyantu mama prānā na samśayah/ evam bruvānam rājendro hanūmantam athāsanāt,utthāya ca parisvajya vākyam etad uvāca ha/ Then Hanuman had politely addressed Sri Rama! 'Maha Raja! May our mutual affinity be lasting or ever. May my nishchala bhakti too last for ever in a manner that none else could ever compete with. As long as the Rama Katha last on earth, may my breathing too be endless as long. May your divya chatitra be sung in the ever sonourous singings of Apsaraas for ever. Veera Prabho! By ever recalling your 'charitraamrita', may my memory power be ever expressed in highest tone like megha maalaas take me away in trances'. As Hanuman was in flights of fantasy likewise, Rama stood up from his 'navaratnakhachita swarna simhaasana' and embraced Hanuman tightly and aid: 'Kapi shreshatha! Be that so for sure. evam etat kapiśrestha bhavitā nātra saṃśayah, lokā hi yāvat sthāsyanti tāvat sthāsyati me kathā/ carisyati kathā yāval lokān esā hi māmikā, tāvac charīre vatsvanti prānās tava na samsayah/tato 'sya hāram candrābham mucya kanthāt sa rāghavah, vaidūryataralam snehād ābabandhe hanūmati/ tenorasi nibaddhena hārena sa mahākapih, rarāja hemaśailendraś candrenākrāntamastakah/ As long my life story is read and heard about in the universe so long you should be alive and kicking. Having so stated, Bhagavan Shri Rama removed his necklace akind to the glamour of purna chandra with a vaduryamani firmed up implanted in its center and as Hanuman wore it he was looking as if the Giri Raja Sumeru shikhara was getting radiant with the just born pournami chandra. śrutvā tu rāghavasyaitad utthāyotthāya vānarāh, pranamya śirasā pādau prajagmus te mahābalāh/ sugrīvas caiva rāmena parisvakto mahābhujaḥ, vibhīṣaṇaś ca dharmātmā nirantaram urogataḥ/ sarve ca te bāṣpagalāḥ sāśrunetrā vicetasah, sammūdhā iva duhkhena tvajante rāghavam tadā/ As Raghu Rama uttered the word 'Good

Bye, the Maha Vaanara veeraas led by Sugriva touched Rama Paada sparshaas and had left most reluctantly. Sugriva and Vibhishanaas made 'gaadhaaalinganaas'- tight embraces with tear flooded eyes, feeling 'viraha vedanaas' of reluctant ever departures. And so did Vaanara- Bhalluka- Rakshasaas too.

Sarga Forty One

Rama accepts Kubera's 'pushpaka vimana'-Bharata commends arrival of Rama Rajya already

Visrjya ca mahābāhur rksavānararāksasān, bhrātrbhih sahito rāmah pramumoda sukhī sukham/ athāparāhnasamaye bhrātrbhih saha rāghavah, śuśrāva madhurām vānīm antariksāt prabhāsitām/ saumya rāma nirīksasva saumyena vadanena mām, kailāsasikharāt prāptam viddhi mām puskaram prabho/ tava śāsanam ājñāya gato 'smi dhanadam prati, upasthātum naraśrestha sa ca mām pratyabhāṣata/ nirjitas tvam narendreṇa rāghaveṇa mahātmanā, nihatya yudhi durdharṣam rāvaṇam rākṣasādhipam/ mamāpi paramā prītir hate tasmin durātmani, rāvaņe sagaņe saumya saputrāmātvabāndhave/ sa tvam rāmena lankāvām nirjitah paramātmanā, vaha saumva tam eva tvam aham ājñāpayāmi te/ eṣa me paramaḥ kāmo yat tvam rāghavanandanam, vaher lokasya samyānam gacchasva vigatajvaraḥ/ tacchāsanam aham jñātvā dhanadasya mahātmanaḥ, tvatsakāśam punaḥ prāptah sa evam pratigrhna mām/ bādham ity eva kākutsthah puspakam samapūjayat, lājāksataiś ca puspais ca gandhais ca susugandhibhih/ gamyatām ca yathākāmam āgacches tvam yadā smare, evam astv iti rāmeņa visrstah puspakah punah, abhipretām diśam prāyāt puspakah puspabhūsitah/ evam antarhite tasmin puspake vividhātmani, bharataḥ prāñjalir vākyam uvāca raghunandanam/ atyadbhutāni dṛśyante tvayi rājyam praśāsati, amānuṣāṇām sattvānām vyāhṛtāni muhur muhuḥ/ anāmayāc ca martyānām sāgro māso gato hy ayam, jīrnānām api sattvānām mrtyur nāyāti rāghava/ putrān nāryah prasūyante vapusmantas ca mānavāh, harsas cābhyadhiko rājañ janasya puravāsinah/ kāle ca vāsavo varsam pātayaty amṛtopamam, vāyavaś cāpi vāyante sparśavantah sukhapradāh/īdṛśo naś ciram rājā bhavatv iti nareśvara, kathayanti pure paurā janā janapadeṣu ca/ etā vācaḥ sumadhurā bharatena samīritāḥ, śrutvā rāmo mudā yuktaḥ pramumoda sukhī sukham/

As bhalluka-vaanara-rakshasaas departed to their respective destinations by the pushpaka vimana with contentment, Shri Rama was seated with his brothers Bharata-Lakshmana-Shatrughnas delightfully on a mid day and heard a 'madhura vaani' from the skies stating 'Shri Rama! Do kindly look at me. My Master Yaksha Raja Kubera had instructed to stating as follows: 'Vimaanottama! Maharma Maha Raja Shri Rama had since concluded Mahaasura Ravana's devastation along with putra-bandhu-baandhavasevaka ganaas ushering new era of 'dharmoddhaarana' and Vishva Shanti or universal peace and contentmennt. My instruction to you would be to serve him as his chariot. Hence Mahatma Rama Prabho! Kindly allow me to serve you. I am right at your disposal.' Then Shri Rama replied: 'Vimana Raja Puskpaka! As this were so, I do welcome you, especially since Kubera's 'sahridayata' had prompted him and should not be disregarded. Now for the time being you may depart and as and when I recall for you you may respond and reappear.' Then Bharata had submitted to Shri Rama as follows: evam antarhite tasmin puşpake vividhātmani, bharataḥ prāñjalir vākyam uvāca raghunandanam/ atyadbhutāni drśyante tvayi rājyam praśāsati, amānusānām sattvānām vyāhṛtāni muhur muhuh/ anāmayāc ca martyānām sāgro māso gato hy ayam, jīrṇānām api sattvānām mṛtyur nāyāti rāghava/ Veeravara Rama! You are of Deva swarupa and that is how under your 'shaashana kaala' your instant responses are of celestial nature. It was hardly a month passed after your 'rajyaabhisheka' and under your sovereignty and people talk ever commeting of your actions and reactions already. putrān nāryah prasūyante vapuṣmantaś ca mānavāḥ, harşas cābhyadhiko rājañ janasya puravāsinaḥ/ kāle ca vāsavo varṣam pātayaty amrtopamam, vāyavas cāpi vāyante sparśavantah sukhapradāh/īdṛśo naś ciram rājā bhavatv iti nareśvara, kathayanti pure paurā janā janapadesu ca/ etā vācah sumadhurā bharatena samīritāh, śrutvā rāmo mudā yuktah pramumoda sukhī sukham/ Even within this short span of time, the generation of sons and family members are in excellent health and even very old persons too are not afraid of disases and deaths. The women folk are contented with orderly and comfortable life and the citizenship of entire Ayodhya

Kingdom appear with 'hrishta-pushta-aaroga anuraagaas' already. Raja! all the puravaasis are with 'harshollaasaas' with timely rains and 'sheetala sukha ullaasas'. Rama! All the 'pura-jaanapada mahajanas' are already feeling so contented that may suck kingship last for ever and ever. 'As Bharata conveyed quoting the comments of Rama Rajya cities and villages, Shri Rama had displayed his expressions of satisfactions.

[Brief repeat of Agni Purana on Ramarajya: The perception, as to how a King should govern his Kingdom and the Subjects, was illustrated by Lord Rama to Laxmana. A King has to create wealth, increase it, protect it, and donate it. He should be humble-the humility arising out of victory, essentially after defeating the human senses of revenge, anger and retribution. He should be strong, magnanimous and forgiving, kind and protective. His support to the inferior and the needy is as significant as to punish and uproot the wicked and harmful. The human vices of greed, lust, dishonesty are but the reflections of a sick mind, which has no conviction or courage or helpfulness to the needy. Rama also advised considerable patience to deal with the timid, haughty and hurtful as these are indeed the traits of a villian. Once there is no ray of remorse nor trace of recovery then should arrive for the act of retribution to the culprit, indeed].

Sarga Forty Two

Shri Rama -Devi Sita's Ashokavani Vihara-Devi Sita's 'garbhini sanketaas'- her desire to Gangaatata vihaara for Maha Muni 'tapo deeksha kaarya darshana'

Sa visrjya tato rāmaḥ puṣpakam hemabhūṣitam, praviveśa mahābāhur aśokavanikām tadā/ candanāgarucūtais ca tungakāleyakair api, devadāruvanais cāpi samantād upasobhitām/ priyangubhih kadambaiś ca tathā kurabakair api, jambūbhih pātalībhiś ca kovidāraiś ca samvṛtām/ sarvadā kusumai ramyaih phalayadbhir manoramaih, cārupallayapuspādhyair mattabhramarasamkulaih/ kokilair bhrngarājais ca nānāvarnais ca paksibhih, sobhitām satasas citrais cūtavrksāvatamsakaih/ śātakumbhanibhāḥ ke cit ke cid agniśikhopamāḥ, nīlāñjananibhāś cānye bhānti tatra sma pādapāḥ/ dīrghikā vividhākārāḥ pūrṇāḥ paramavāriṇā, mahārhamaṇisopānasphaṭikāntarakuṭṭimāḥ/ phullapadmotpalavanāś cakravākopaśobhitāḥ, prākārair vividhākāraiḥ śobhitāś ca śilātalaih/ tatra tatra vanoddeśe vaidūryamaṇisamnibhaiḥ, śādvalaiḥ paramopetāḥ puṣpitadrumasamyutāḥ/ nandanam hi yathendrasya brāhmam caitraratham yathā, tathārūpam hi rāmasya kānanam tan nivesitam/ bahvāsanagrhopetām latāgrhasamāvrtām, aśokavanikām sphītām praviśya raghunandanah/āsane tu śubhākāre puṣpastabakabhūṣite, kuthāstaraṇasamvīte rāmaḥ samniṣasāda ha/ sītām samgṛhya bāhubhyām madhumaireyam uttamam, pāyayām āsa kākutsthaḥ śacīm indro yathāmṛtam/ māmsāni ca vicitrāni phalāni vividhāni ca, rāmasvābhyavahārārtham kimkarās tūrnam āharan/ upanrtyanti rājānam nṛtyagītaviśāradāḥ, bālāś ca rūpavatyaś ca striyaḥ pānavaśam gatāḥ/ evam rāmo mudā yuktaḥ sītām surucirānanām, ramayām āsa vaidehīm ahany ahani devavat/ tathā tu ramamānasya tasyaivam śiśirah śubhah, atyakrāman narendrasya rāghavasya mahātmanah/ pūrvāhne paurakṛtyāni kṛtvā dharmena dharmavit, śeṣam divasabhāgārdham antaḥpuragato 'bhavat/ sītā ca devakāryāṇi krtvā paurvāhṇikāni tu, śvaśrūnām aviśesena sarvāsām prānjalih sthitā/ tato rāmam upāgacchad vicitrabahubhūsanā, triviştape sahasrākṣam upaviṣṭam yathā śacī/ dṛṣṭvā tu rāghavaḥ patnīm kalyāṇena samanvitām, praharşam atulam lebhe sādhu sādhv iti cābravīt/ apatyalābho vaidehi mamāyam samupasthitah, kim icchasi hi tad brūhi kaḥ kāmaḥ kriyatām tava/ prahasantī tu vaidehī rāmam vākyam athābravīt, tapovanāni punyāni drastum icchāmi rāghava/ gaṇgātīre nivistāni rsīnām punyakarmanām, phalamūlāśinām vīra pādamūlesu vartitum/ esa me paramah kāmo yan mūlaphalabhojisu, apy ekarātram kākutstha vaseyam punyaśālisu/ tatheti ca pratijñātam rāmenāklistakarmanā, visrabdhā bhava vaidehi śvo gamisyasy asamśayam/ evam uktvā tu kākutstho maithilīm janakātmajām, madhyakaksāntaram rāmo nirjagāma suhrdvṛtaḥ/

Maha baahu Shri Rama then took garbhini Devi Sita to Ashoka Vana the 'antahpura vihaara yogya upavana' for her 'manollaasa'. The joyous garden place was rich with excellent trees of chandana-agaruchuuta-thunga/ coconut-raktachandana- devadaarus. Further, champa-ashoka-punnaaga-parijaata maha vrishaas. This upavana was also rich with priyangku- kadamba-vakula-jambu-daadim-kovidaara vrikshaas too. Devi Sita was happily elated at the 'ramaneeya phalapushpa shobhita Ashoka Maha Vana'. The picturesque Ashoka Vana was filled up with amazing 'prakiti soundarya' of flora and fauna with the abundance of kokila-bhringa raaja-shuka-hamsa-saarasa- 'nissvanaas' ever enriching the magnificence. nandanam hi vathendrasya brāhmam caitraratham vathā, tathārūpam hi rāmasya kānanam tan niveśitam/ bahvāsanagrhopetām latāgrhasamāvrtām, aśokavanikām sphītām pravišya raghunandanah/ āsane tu śubhākāre puspastabakabhūsite, kuthāstaranasamvīte rāmah samnisasāda ha/ sītām samgrhya bāhubhyām madhumaireyam uttamam, pāyayām āsa kākutsthah śacīm indro yathāmṛtam/ This 'kreedaakaananana shobha' of Shri Rama's Ashoka vana was like that of Indra's Nandana Vana or that of Brahma virachita Kuberas's Chatra ratha vana, with numerous maha bhavanaas all around with fabled range of seating arrangements with 'lataa mandapas' while comfortable bed spreads and luxurious range of carpets. Just as Indra made Shachi Devi, Shri Rama made Sita too gave 'madhu paana'. Similarly he provided excellent 'rajochita bhogya padaardhaas'. At that time the highly skilled 'nrithya yuvatis' provided entertainment of 'natya bhangimaas'. That was time Sita Ramas were like Arundhti-Vasishthas enjoying life after a fourteen year long ordeal of vana vaasa. evam rāmo mudā yuktah sītām surucirānanām, ramayām āsa vaidehīm ahany ahani devavat/ tathā tu ramamānasya tasyaivam śiśirah śubhaḥ, atyakrāman narendrasya rāghavasya mahātmanaḥ/ pūrvāhṇe paurakrtyāni krtvā dharmeṇa dharmavit, śeṣam divasabhāgārdham antaḥpuragato 'bhavat/ sītā ca devakāryāṇi krtvā paurvāhṇikāni tu, śvaśrūṇām aviśeṣeṇa sarvāsām prāñjaliḥ sthitā/ After having concluded deva pujas as per schedule, Shri Rama was constantly engaged in Devi Sita ramanakaaryas/ Thus as Rama Sitas were enjoying their happy life, shishira ritu arrived and both continued their saturating daily rejoicings of 'bhogabhagyas'. Dharmagina Shri Rama having carried on with his rajyadharma karyas on the first part of the day, the remainder 'saayamkaala raatris' were dedicated to mutual caressings and embracings. Devi Sita too was busy with 'poorvaahnikaala Deva pujanaas', seva to mothers in law, and the like of dhaarmika vidhis, and subsequently with 'vichitra vastra bhushanas' she was busy with her swami seva like Shachi Devi to Indra Deva. tato rāmam upāgacchad vicitrabahubhūsanā, trivistape sahasrāksam upavistam vathā śacī/ dṛṣṭvā tu rāghavaḥ patnīm kalyāṇena samanvitām, praharṣam atulam lebhe sādhu sādhv iti cābravīt/ apatyalābho vaidehi mamāyam samupasthitah, kim icchasi hi tad brūhi kah kāmah kriyatām tava/ prahasantī tu vaidehī rāmam vākyam athābravīt, tapovanāni punyāni drastum icchāmi rāghava/Shri Rama with his vichitra baahu bhushanaas was ever at the service of Devi Sita again recaling the example of Indra- Shachis. Meanwhile, Rama noticed his darling's 'garbha suchanas' and expressed exciting enthusiasic fervour and of suppressed emotions, stating aloud to her: 'my hearty congratulations and felicitations to you! Then Rama addressed Devakanya samana Sita: 'Videhanandini! Soon enough you should be blessed with a son or two; varaarohaa! Please convey to me: what all could I do for you! How indeed vour 'manoradha' could be fulfilled! gangātīre nivistāni rsīnām punyakarmanām, phalamūlāśinām vīra pādamūlesu vartitum/ eṣa me paramaḥ kāmo yan mūlaphalabhojiṣu, apy ekarātram kākutstha vaseyam punyaśālişu/tatheti ca pratijñātam rāmenāklişṭakarmaṇā, visrabdhā bhava vaidehi śvo gamisyasy asamsayam/ evam uktvā tu kākutstho maithilīm janakātmajām, madhyakaksāntaram rāmo nirjagāma suhrdvrtah/Then smilingly Devi Sita expressed shyly: Raghunandana! My wish would be to visit the divta tapovanaas on the banks of the sacred Ganga and the drishyaas of 'Maha Muni tapasya-agni kaaryaas' to my heart contentment! Then Rama who was fully prepared to do anything for his dearmost replied assuringly: 'Videha nandini! Be rest assured, right tomorrow, we should be able to do so. Having assured her thus, Rama had departed to meet his friends and well wishers.

Sarga Forty Three

During his conversation with his childhood select and intimate friends, Rama gathered certain doubts of Devi Sita's conduct due to Ravana's harassment as were collected from the hearsay gossips of his prajaas.

Tatropavistam rājānam upāsante vicaksanāh, kathānām bahurūpānām hāsyakārāh samantatah/vijayo madhumattaś ca kāśyapaḥ piṅgalaḥ kuśaḥ, surājiḥ kāliyo bhadro dantavakraḥ samāgadhaḥ/ ete kathā bahuvidhā parihāsasamanvitāḥ, kathayanti sma samhrstā rāghavasya mahātmanaḥ/ tataḥ kathāyām kasyām cid rāghavah samabhāsata, kāh kathā nagare bhadra vartante visayesu ca/ mām āśritāni kāny āhuḥ paurajānapadā janāḥ, kim ca sītām samāśritya bharatam kim nu lakṣmaṇam/ kim nu śatrughnam āśritya kaikeyīm mātaram ca me, vaktavyatām ca rājāno nave rājye vrajanti hi/ evam ukte tu rāmeņa bhadrah prāñjalir abravīt, sthitāh kathāh śubhā rājan vartante puravāsinām/ayam tu vijayah saumya daśagrīvavadhāśritah, bhūyistham svapure pauraih kathyate purusarsabha/ evam uktas tu bhadrena rāghavo vākyam abravīt, kathayasva vathātathyam sarvam niravasesatah/subhāsubhāni vākyāni vānv āhuh puravāsinah, śrutvedānīm śubham kuryām na kuryām aśubhāni ca/ kathayasva ca visrabdho nirbhayo vigatajyarah, kathayante yathā paurā janā janapadesu ca/ rāghayenaiyam uktas tu bhadrah suruciram vacah, pratyuvāca mahābāhum prāñjalih susamāhitah/ śrnu rājan yathā paurāh kathayanti śubhāśubham, catvarāpanarathvāsu vanesūpavanesu ca/ duskaram krtavān rāmah samudre setubandhanam, akrtam pūrvakaih kaiś cid devair api sadānavaih/ rāvanaś ca durādharso hatah sabalavāhanaḥ, vānarāś ca vaśaṁ nītā ṛkṣāś ca saha rākṣasaiḥ/ hatvā ca rāvaṇaṁ yuddhe sītām āhṛtya rāghavaḥ, amarṣam pṛṣṭhataḥ kṛtvā svaveśma punar ānayat/ kīdṛśam hṛdaye tasya sītāsambhogajam sukham, ankam āropya hi purā rāvanena balād dhṛtām/ lankām api punar nītām aśokavanikām gatām, raksasām vašam āpannām katham rāmo na kutsate/ asmākam api dāresu sahanīyam bhavisyati, yathā hi kurute rājā prajā tam anuvartate/ evam bahuvidhā vāco vadanti puravāsinah, nagareşu ca sarveşu rājañ janapadeşu ca/ tasyaitad bhāṣitam śrutvā rāghavaḥ paramārtavat/ uvāca sarvān suhṛdaḥ katham etan nivedyatām, sarve tu śirasā bhūmāv abhivādya praṇamya ca, pratyūcū rāghavam dīnam evam etan na samśayah/ śrutvā tu vākyam kākutsthah sarvesām samudīritam, visarjayām āsa tadā sarvāms tāñ śatrutāpanah/

Having assured the fullfillment of garbhini Sita's wife to take accompany him to witness the 'Sacred Gangaa teera Maha Muni tapo-yagjna karyas', Shri Rama departed to see and spend time with his intimate friends for exchange of pleasantries and childhood slapsticks. His baalya mitras included: Vijaya-Madhumatta- Kaashyapa-Mangala- Kula-Suraaji-Kaaliya-Bhadra-Dattavaktra-and Sumaagha. These friends were hilarious with haasya vinoda purna kathaas. Raghunatha asked: 'Bhadra! Which is now the talk of Ayhodhyanagari and jaana padaas or villages! What all is being talked of about me, Sita, Bharata, Lakshmana Shatrughnaas, especially about maataa Kaikeyi! After all there should be discussions about Rajas, ther aachaara vyavahaaraas, rishi muni ashramaas and so on especially about the pluses and minuses or of successes and failures, or positive negative aspects.' Then Bhadra with folded hands replied ro Rama! 'Maha Raja! All these days, the puravaasi charchaas have been decidedly positive, especially your parakrama and 'Dashagrivavadha sambhanddhi charchaamshaas.' Then Rama asked Bhadra: 'Tell me what precisely could be the remarks and feelings about me specifically related to the shubha-ashubha soochanas either expressed or otherwise. Be frank and fearless as I assure you to correct my self as there ought to be some feelings of the township and of villages too'. Then Bhadra replied: śrnu rājan yathā paurāḥ kathayanti śubhāśubham, catvarāpaṇarathyāsu vaneṣūpavaneṣu ca/ duṣkaraṁ kṛtavān rāmaḥ samudre setubandhanam, akṛtam pūrvakaih kaiś cid devair api sadānavaih/ rāvanaś ca durādharso hatah sabalavāhanah, vānarāś ca vaśam nītā rksāś ca saha rāksasaih/ hatvā ca rāvanam yuddhe sītām āhrtya rāghavah, amarsam prsthatah krtvā svaveśma punar ānayat/ Maha Raja! Listen to me. Puravaasi manushyas at the chouraahaas or four sided high roads, marketplaces, lanes and byelanes, and upavanaas do express their comments always'. Then, Bhadra was rather hesitant to his friend no doubt but the Maha Raja himself, and however blurted out: 'Indeed Rama was able to have performed the dushkara kaarya of setubandhana and the gigantic pathway across the southern ocean, the like of wich was beyond the vision of Deva Daanavaas! Further he led pioneering act of leading crores of vaanara-bhalluka maha sena and killed Mahaasura Ravana and his crores of rakshassas who shook the trilokas to doom and restablished dharma in its essence. BUT, there is one hard reality which would spring up in one's imagination. Rama had no doubt brought Sita home, yet he himself doubted her chastity. kīdrśam hrdaye tasya

sītāsambhogajam sukham, ankam āropya hi purā rāvaņena balād dhrām/ lankām api punar nītām aśokavanikām gatām, rakṣasām vaśam āpannām katham rāmo na kutsate/ asmākam api dāreṣu sahanīyam bhaviṣyati, yathā hi kurute rājā prajā tam anuvartate/ evam bahuvidhā vāco vadanti puravāsinaḥ, nagareṣu ca sarveṣu rājañ janapadeṣu ca/How Rama himself could reconcile to 'Sita sambhoga janita sukha!' Indeed; it was well known that Ravana at the time of his kidnapping Sita kept her on his laps, then he took her to a secluded place in his own antahpura especially the kreedaa-kaanan Ashokavani. In this nanner she must have been coerced in the company of rakshasi strees since what all the king of lankapuri had stressed ought to have been carried out apparently. Hence King Rama! The pura vaasis as well as village folk do expresse their own impressions and misgivings.' Then Rama asked other friends besides Bhadra and thry too corraborated what Bhadra had indicated. That was how Shri Rama had deeply felt that in view of the 'lokopavaadaas', Devi Seta thyaaga might have to be very seriously need to be considered!

Sarga Forty Three and Forty Four:

During his conversation with his childhood select and intimate friends, Rama gathered certain doubts of Devi Sita's conduct due to Ravana's harassment as were collected from the hearsay gossips of his prajaas.

Visrjya tu suhrdvargam buddhyā niścitya rāghavah, samīpe dvāhstham āsīnam idam vacanam abravīt/ śīghram ānaya saumitrim lakşmanam śubhalakşaṇam, bharatam ca mahābāhum śatrughnam cāparājitam/ rāmasya bhāsitam śrutvā dvāḥstho mūrdhni kṛtāñjaliḥ, lakṣmaṇasya gṛham gatvā praviveśānivāritaḥ/ uvāca ca tadā vākyam vardhayitvā kṛtāñjaliḥ, draṣṭum icchati rājā tvām gamyatām tatra mā ciram/ bādham ity eva saumitrih śrutvā rāghavaśāsanam, prādravad ratham āruhya rāghavasya niveśanam/ prayāntam laksmanam dṛstvā dvāhstho bharatam antikāt, uvāca prāñjalir vākyam rājā tvām drastum icchati/ bharatas tu vacah śrutvā dvāhsthād rāmasamīritam, utpapātāsanāt tūrnam padbhyām eva tato 'gamat/ dṛṣṭvā prayāntam bharatam tvaramāṇaḥ kṛtāñjaliḥ, satrughnabhavanam gatvā tato vākyam jagāda ha/ ehy āgaccha raghuśreṣṭha rājā tvām draṣṭum icchati, gato hi lakṣmaṇaḥ pūrvam bharataś ca mahāyaśāh/ śrutvā tu vacanam tasya śatrughno rāmaśāsanam, śirasā vandya dharanīm pravavau vatra rāghavah/ kumārān āgatāñ śrutvā cintāvyākulitendrivah, avākśirā dīnamanā dvāhstham vacanam abravīt/ praveśaya kumārāms tvam matsamīpam tvarānvitaḥ, eteşu jīvitam mahyam ete prāṇā bahiścarāh/ ājñaptās tu narendrena kumārāh śuklavāsasah, prahvāh prāñjalayo bhūtvā viviśus te samāhitāh/ te tu drstvā mukham tasva sagraham śaśinam vathā, samdhyāgatam ivādityam prabhayā parivarjitam/ bāspapūrne ca nayane drstvā rāmasya dhīmatah, hataśobham yathā padmam mukham vīksya ca tasya te/ tato 'bhivādya tvaritāh pādau rāmasya mūrdhabhih, tasthuh samāhitāh sarve rāmaś cāśrūny avartayat/ tān pariṣvajya bāhubhyām utthāpya ca mahābhujah, āsaneṣv ādhvam ity uktvā tato vākyam jagāda ha/ bhavanto mama sarvasvam bhavanto mama jīvitam, bhavadbhiś ca kṛtam rājyam pālayāmi nareśvarāh/ bhavantaḥ krtaśāstrārthā buddhau ca parinisthitāḥ, sambhūya ca madartho 'yam anvestavvo nareśvarāh/

Teṣām samupaviṣṭānām sarveṣām dīnacetasām, uvāca vākyam kākutstho mukhena pariśuṣyatā/ sarve śṛṇuta bhadram vo mā kurudhvam mano 'nyathā, paurāṇām mama sītāyām yādṛśī vartate kathā/ paurāpavādaḥ sumahāms tathā janapadasya ca, vartate mayi bībhatsaḥ sa me marmāṇi kṛntati/ aham kila kule jāta ikṣvākūṇām mahātmanām, sītām pāpasamācārām ānayeyam katham pure/ jānāsi hi yathā saumya daṇḍake vijane vane, rāvaṇena hṛtā sītā sa ca vidhvamsito mayā/ pratyakṣam tava saumitre devānām havyavāhanaḥ, apāpām maithilīm āha vāyuś cākāśagocaraḥ/ candrādityau ca śamsete surāṇām samnidhau purā, ṛṣīṇām caiva sarveṣām apāpām janakātmajām/ evam śuddhasamācārā devagandharva samnidhau, laṅkādvīpe mahendreṇa mama haste niveśitā/ antarātmā ca me vetti sītām śuddhām yaśasvinīm, tato gṛhītvā vaidehīm ayodhyām aham āgataḥ/ ayam tu me mahān vādaḥ śokaś ca hṛdi vartate, paurāpavādaḥ sumahāms tathā janapadasya ca/ akīrtir yasya gīyeta loke bhūtasya kasya cit, pataty evādhamāml lokān yāvac chabdaḥ sa kīrtyate/ akīrtir nindyate daivaiḥ kīrtir deveṣu pūjyate, kīrtvartham ca samārambhah sarva eva mahātmanām/ apy aham jīvitam jahyām yusmān vā

puruṣarṣabhāḥ, apavādabhayād bhītaḥ kim punar janakātmajām/ tasmād bhavantaḥ paśyantu patitam śokasāgare, na hi paśyāmy aham bhūyaḥ kim cid duḥkham ato 'dhikam/ śvas tvam prabhāte saumitre sumantrādhiṣṭhitam ratham, āruhya sītām āropya viṣayānte samutsrja/ gaṅgāyās tu pare pāre vālmīkeḥ sumahātmanaḥ, āśramo divyasamkāśas tamasātīram āśritaḥ/ tatrainām vijane kakṣe visrjya raghunandana, śīghram āgaccha saumitre kuruṣva vacanam mama/ na cāsmi prativaktavyaḥ sītām prati katham cana, aprītiḥ paramā mahyam bhavet tu prativārite/ śāpitāś ca mayā yūyam bhujābhyām jīvitena ca, ye mām vākyāntare brūyur anunetum katham cana/ mānayantu bhavanto mām yadi macchāsane sthitāḥ, ito 'dya nīyatām sītā kuruṣva vacanam mama/ pūrvam ukto 'ham anayā gaṅgātīre mahāśramān, paśyeyam iti tasyāś ca kāmaḥ samvartyatām ayam/ evam uktvā tu kākutstho bāṣpeṇa pihitekṣaṇaḥ, praviveśa sa dharmātmā bhrātṛbhiḥ parivāritaḥ/

Having ascertained the views of his close friends about what a cross section of Ayodhya praja's were feeling, Rama asked his dwaara paalaka to call for his younger brothers of Bharata-Lakshmana-Shatrughnas to meet him. Firstly the doorman reached Lakshmana to meet Shri Rama most urgently without delay and Lakshmana started off at once by his chariot to reach Rama. Thereafter Bharata was informed likewise as he too tried to reach Rama by quick walk. Having been informed likewise the dwarapalaka of Rama reached Shatrughna too and hastened him stating that Lakshmana Bharataas would have reached Rama buy now and hence reach King Rama at once. Thus all the younger brothers had arrived at King Shri Rama's palace. te tu dṛṣṭvā mukham tasya sagraham śaśinam yathā, samdhyāgatam ivādityam prabhayā parivarjitam/ bāṣpapūrne ca nayane dṛṣṭvā rāmasya dhīmatah, hataśobham yathā padmam mukham vīkṣya ca tasya te/ At that time, the brothers noticed that he was not his true self as he looked concerned and engaged in deep thoughts. His 'mukhaaravinda' was bereft of his usual enthusiastic sheen and lusterThen the brothers touched Rama's feet and desired to hear what would he like to say. Then they noticed that his eyes were wet with tears. He embraced them one by one and asked them to be seated and stated: bhavanto mama sarvasvam bhavanto mama jīvitam, bhavadbhiś ca kṛtam rājyam pālayāmi nareśvarāh/ bhavantah kṛtaśāstrārthā buddhau ca parinisthitāh, sambhūya ca madartho 'yam anveṣṭavyo nareśvarāḥ/ Raja Kmaras! Hope you are all comfortable. This Kingdom of ours that we all had earned has been entrusted to me. You are all shastra viginataas and are capable of administering it safely with objectivity and maturity of thoughtfulness. This Kingdom of ours is our joint responsibility too. 'When Rama was stating in this rather strange manner, the brothers were looking askance. Then they wondered as to what indeed that he had been driving at further!

Sarga Forty Five continued:

Then having prefaced thus Shri Rama stated further thus: sarve śrnuta bhadram vo mā kurudhvam mano 'nyathā, paurāṇām mama sītāyām yādṛśī vartate kathā/ paurāpavādaḥ sumahāms tathā janapadasya ca, vartate mayi bībhatsah sa me marmāni krntati/ aham kila kule jāta iksvākūnām mahātmanām, sītām pāpasamācārām ānayeyam katham pure/ jānāsi hi yathā saumya dandake vijane vane, rāvaņena hṛtā sītā sa ca vidhvamsito mayā/My dear brothers, may you all be blessed. Kingly listen to me attentively and with concentration now. I have been hearing som unsavory and unpleasant comments from the Ayodhya Rajya residents of late about the moral conduct of Devi Sita which are nasty nature piercing my very vitals. I was born into the glorious heritage of Ikshvaaku Maha Raja parampara and so was Devi Sita too of the famed Janaka Raja Vamsha. Lakshmana! You were well aware of how dushtaa Ravana had forcibly kidnapped Sita from the 'nirjana dandakaaranya' which was of course uprooted by me. Thereafter, my mind was clustered and confused within most severely. I wondered as to how could ever I return after the precribed period of vanavaasa without her! pratyakṣam tava saumitre devānām havyavāhanah, apāpām maithilīm āha vāyuś cākāśagocarah/ candrādityau ca śamsete surānām samnidhau purā, rsīnām caiva sarvesām apāpām janakātmajām/ evam suddhasamācārā devagandharva samnidhau, lankādvīpe mahendreņa mama haste niveśitā/Sumitra Kumara! Do you not recall that having destroyed Rayana and followers, I had insisted that Sita should perform 'agni prayesha' and Agni Deva

himself in the presence of akaakaashachaari Vayu, Chandra, Surya and other Deva ganas as also samasta Rishis declared Janakanandini's 'nishpaapa ghoshana'. In that manner, in the presence of Indra himself extended his arms and dedicated her back to me. antarātmā ca me vetti sītām śuddhām yaśasvinīm, tato grhītvā vaidehīm ayodhyām aham āgatah/ ayam tu me mahān vādah śokaś ca hṛdi vartate, paurāpavādah sumahāms tathā janapadasva ca/ My own antaratma does nodoubt confirms her purity and that was how I had brought her to accompany me to Ayodhya. Yet she is subjected 'mahapavaadaas' and 'loka nindaas'. Ayodhyapura vaasis and janapada prajas do ever carry this impression of misconduct and 'ashleelata' for ever. akīrtir yasya gīyeta loke bhūtasya kasya cit, pataty evādhamāml lokān yāvac chabdaḥ sa kīrtyate/ akīrtir nindyate daivaiḥ kīrtir deveṣu pūjyate, kīrtyartham ca samārambhaḥ sarva eva mahātmanām/ apy aham jīvitam jahyām yusmān vā purusarsabhāh, apavādabhayād bhītah kim punar janakātmajām/ The age old adage states that as long as any 'praani' is subjected by 'apakeerti' and 'loka ninda', that 'praani' would slip down to 'adholokaas' and only after the due retribution process that the concened Being gets restored back to normalcy. Deva ganaas would always complement those who are generally known without 'loka ninda'. Dear brothers! Be assured that I might even perform my 'praana tyaaga' and equally so of close near and dear ones. And as such 'Sita parityaagaa' as per my firm resolve is unavoidable. tasmād bhavantah paśyantu patitam śokasāgare, na hi paśyāmy aham bhūyah kim cid duhkham ato 'dhikam/ śvas tvam prabhāte saumitre sumantrādhiṣṭhitam ratham, āruhya sītām āropya viṣayānte samutsrja/ gaṅgāyās tu pare pāre vālmīkeh sumahātmanah, āśramo divyasamkāśas tamasātīram āśritah/ Hence, my clear instruction even having been drownened in 'shola samudra', and there may never be any other firm resolve, would be for 'Sita parityaaga' for noe. Sumitra Kumara! My instruction to you therefore should be that tomorrow early morning you may arrange Sumantu saaradhi to personally accompany Devi Sita to reach the Ayodhya's outer limits. On the other side of the border is the sacred Ganga is the 'Tamasaa tata' where Maharshi Valmiki's ashram. tatrainām vijane kakṣe viṣṛjya raghunandana, śīghram āgaccha saumitre kurusva vacanam mama/ na cāsmi prativaktavyah sītām prati katham cana, aprītih paramā mahyam bhavet tu prativārite/ śāpitāś ca mayā yūyam bhujābhyām jīvitena ca, ye mām vākyāntare brūyur anunetum katham cana/ Near to that ashram there would be a 'nirjana vana' and there you may leave Devi Sita and return back and report to me. And I should not like to hear any further appeals or responses ant further. Therefore Lakshmana, you may leave now without cogitating any further about my instruction do this responsibility without any qualms of conscience. Be it well realised that this decisiveness of mine is on the oath on my very feet and life and thereagainst there might not be any sign of dissent. mānayantu bhavanto mām yadi macchāsane sthitāh, ito 'dya nīyatām sītā kurusva vacanam mama/ pūrvam ukto 'ham anayā gangātīre mahāśramān, paśyeyam iti tasyāś ca kāmah samvartyatām ayam/ evam uktvā tu kākutstho bāspena pihiteksanah, praviveśa sa dharmātmā bhrātrbhih parivāritah/ If only you dear brothers of mine have any respect for me, my clear insructions be followed without any sign of pleadings by shows of hysterics since you ought to attract my enmity for ever. Let Sita be therefore left behind on the banks of Ganga as that was her own wish to me just recently to witness the Rishi Maharshis performinng 'vedaadhyayana' and 'yagjnya kaaryaas' and hence that her own wish be fulfilled for now.' Having reassured himself Shri Rama had silently withdrawn within his own self silently shedding tears rolled down his cheeks and drawing long breathings.

Sarga Forty Six

Excited Sita accompanies Lakshmana to visit Ganga teera Muni ashramas but the latter knew the reality!

Tato rajanyām vyuṣṭāyām lakṣmaṇo dīnacetanaḥ, sumantram abravīd vākyam mukhena pariśuṣyatā/
sārathe turagāñ śīghram yojayasva rathottame, svāstīrṇam rājabhavanāt sītāyāś cāsanam śubham/ sītā
hi rājabhavanād āśramam puṇyakarmaṇām, mayā neyā maharṣīṇām śīghram ānīyatām rathaḥ/
sumantras tu tathety uktvā yuktam paramavājibhiḥ, ratham suruciraprakhyam svāstīrṇam sukhaśayyayā/
ādāyovāca saumitrim mitrāṇām harṣavardhanam, ratho 'yam samanuprāpto yat kāryam kriyatām
prabho/ evam uktaḥ sumantreṇa rājaveśma sa lakṣmaṇaḥ, praviśya sītām āsādya vyājahāra
nararṣabhaḥ/ gaṅgātīre mayā devi munīnām āśrame śubhe, śīghram gatvopaneyāsi śāsanāt pārthivasya

nah/ evam uktā tu vaidehī laksmanena mahātmanā, praharsam atulam lebhe gamanam cābhyarocayat/ vāsāmsi ca mahārhāṇi ratnāni vividhāni ca, gṛhītvā tāni vaidehī gamanāyopacakrame/ imāni munipatnīnām dāsyāmy ābharaṇāny aham, saumitris tu tathety uktvā ratham āropya maithilīm, prayayau śīghraturago rāmasyājñām anusmaran/ abravīc ca tadā sītā lakṣmaṇam lakṣmivardhanam, aśubhāni bahūny adva paśyāmi raghunandana/ nayanam me sphuraty adva gātrotkampaś ca jāyate, hrdayam caiya saumitre asvastham iva lakṣaye/ autsukyam paramam cāpi adhṛtiś ca parā mama, śūnyām iva ca paśyāmi pṛthivīm pṛthulocana/ api svasti bhavet tasya bhrātus te bhrātṛbhiḥ saha, śvaśrūṇām caiva me vīra sarvāsām avišesatah/ pure janapade caiva kušalam prāninām api, itv añjalikrtā sītā devatā abhvavācata/ laksmano 'rtham tu tam śrutvā śirasā vandya maithilīm, śivam ity abravīd dhrsto hrdayena viśusyatā/ tato vāsam upāgamya gomatītīra āśrame, prabhāte punar utthāya saumitrih sūtam abravīt/ yojayasva ratham śīghram adya bhāgīrathījalam, śirasā dhārayisyāmi tryambakah parvate yathā/ so 'śvān vicārayitvāśu rathe yuktvā manojavān, ārohasveti vaidehīm sūtaļ prāñjalir abravīt/ sā tu sūtasya vacanād āruroha rathottamam, sītā saumitriņā sārdham sumantreņa ca dhīmatā/ athārdhadivasam gatvā bhāgīrathyā jalāśayam, nirīkṣya lakṣmaṇo dīnaḥ praruroda mahāsvanam/ sītā tu paramāyattā dṛṣṭvā lakṣmaṇam āturam, uvāca vākvam dharmajña kim idam rudvate tvavā/ jāhnavītīram āsādva cirābhilasitam mama, harşakāle kim artham mām viṣādayasi lakṣmaṇa/ nityam tvam rāmapādeṣu vartase puruṣarṣabha, kaccid vinākṛtas tena dvirātre śokam āgataḥ/ mamāpi dayito rāmo jīvitenāpi lakṣmaṇa, na cāham evam śocāmi maivam tvam bāliśo bhava/ tārayasva ca mām gangām darśayasva ca tāpasān, tato dhanāni vāsāmsi dāsyāmy ābharanāni ca/ tatah kṛtvā maharsīnām yathārham abhivādanam, tatra caikām niśām usya yāsyāmas tām purīm punah/ tasyās tad vacanam śrutvā pramrjya nayane śubhe, titīrṣur lakṣmaṇo gaṅgāṁ śubhāṁ nāvam upāharat/

Next morning the pale faced Lakshmana with the previous nightmares of his unprecedented responsibility entrusted by Rama called for Sumantra instructing him to accompany him as Devi Sita was desirous of visiting the Maharshi Ashramas on the banks of Pavitra Ganga. Then he approached Devi Sita and stated: Tvaya kilaisha nrupaturvaram vai yaachitah Prabhuh, nripena cha pratagjnaatama agjnapttascha ashrarmam prati/ gaṅgātīre mayā devi munīnām āśrame śubhe, śīghraṁ gatvopaneyāsi śāsanāt pārthivasya naḥ/ evam uktā tu vaidehī lakṣmaṇena mahātmanā, praharṣam atulam lebhe gamanam cābhyarocayat/ Devi! It appears that you had asked Shri Rama prabhu to take you to visit Maha Muni Ashrama and as such he had directed me to accompany you. Devi! Videhanadini, I should therefore leave for the banks of the sacred Ganga for the purpose. As Lakshmana stated thus, Devi Sita was excited with joy and got readied at the earlieast. vāsāmsi ca mahārhāni ratnāni vividhāni ca, grhītvā tāni vaidehī gamanāyopacakrame/ imāni munipatnīnām dāsyāmy ābharanāny aham, saumitris tu tathety uktvā ratham āropya maithilīm, prayayau śīghraturago rāmasyājñām anusmaran/ She explained to Lakshmana in excitement that she was taking along 'bahumuulya vastra aabhushanaas' for gifting away to Rishi patnis. Then Mithileshwari Sita was seated comfortably with Lakshmana behind and the chariot moved on. nayanam me sphuraty adya gātrotkampaś ca jāyate, hrdayam caiva saumitre asvastham iva lakṣaye/ autsukvam paramam cāpi adhrtis ca parā mama, sūnvām iva ca pasvāmi prthivīm prthulocana/ api svasti bhavet tasva bhrātus te bhrātrbhih saha, śvaśrūnām caiva me vīra sarvāsām aviśesatah/ pure janapade caiva kuśalam prāṇinām api, ity añjalikṛtā sītā devatā abhyayācata/Then Devi Sita had some how felt a few 'apashakunas' as her right eye was shaking too often and so was was her body parts. She addressed Lakshmana: 'I am some how experiencing some aberrations of my body as I find that in my vision that the earth was swinging getting dried up. Hope all my near and far dear ones are safe - your brothers and all our in laws are sound and happy.' On hearing her comments, Lakshmaa affirmed: may there be health and peace prevail to all. Meanwhile, the chariot reached the banks of River Gomati as Devi Sita addressed Sumantra to quicken the pace of the charoit as she was anxious to sprinke the Ganga jala too soon. Soon enough the chariot reached the banks of Ganga by the mid-day. athārdhadivasam gatvā bhāgīrathyā jalāśayam, nirīksya laksmano dīnah praruroda mahāsvanam/ sītā tu paramāyattā dṛstvā laksmanam āturam, uvāca vākyam dharmajña kim idam rudyate tvayā/ As 'Bhagiradhi jala tarangas' were glanced at, Lakshmana had suddenly broken down bent forward ad started crying away uncontrollably! Devi Sita got puzzled and exclaimed: 'Lakshmana! What has happened to you too

suddenly now! My long time wish is now fulfilled to reach the Sacred Ganga waters but inseated by our getting excited, why are you crying away in this manner! You have all anny been in the close company of shura vedera hri Rama, yet you get crumbled to earth weeping away now! / tataḥ krtvā maharṣīṇām yathārham abhivādanam, tatra caikām niśām uṣya yāsyāmas tām purīm punaḥ/tasyās tad vacanam śrutvā pramṛjya nayane śubhe, titīrṣur lakṣmaṇo gaṅgām śubhām nāvam upāharat/Lakshmana! Shri Rama had all along been ever affectionate to you even far better than in me, but why are you crying away relentlessly now; for which reason! I am too anxious to get into the waters for sprinklings and quickly reach the muni asrhamaas to donate away the maha saddhvis there and then return back to Ayodhya soon enough!' As she was speaking in such animated manner, the boatsman announced: the boat is ready for boarding in, sirs. There after Devi Sita and Lakshmana were settled in the boat quiet ly.

Sarga Forty Seven

<u>Lakshmana facilitated Devi Sita to cross Ganga to the other side and gradually informed of Rama's</u> decision of 'Sita parityaga' due to 'loka nindas' about her morality but assuring Valmiki's personal care.

Atha nāvam suvistīrņām naiṣādīm rāghavānujaḥ, āruroha samāyuktām pūrvam āropya maithilīm/ sumantram caiva saratham sthīvatām iti laksmanah, uvāca śokasamtaptah prayāhīti ca nāvikam/ tatas tīram upāgamya bhāgīrathyāh sa laksmanah, uvāca maithilīm vākyam prāñjalir bāspagadgadah/ hṛdgatam me mahac chalyam yad asmy āryeṇa dhīmatā, asmin nimitte vaidehi lokasya vacanīkṛtaḥ/ śreyo hi maraṇam me 'dya mṛtyor vā yat param bhavet, na cāsminn īdṛśe kārye niyojyo lokanindite/ prasīda na ca me roşam kartum arhasi suvrate, ity añjalikrto bhūmau nipapāta sa lakṣmaṇaḥ/ rudantam prāñjalim dṛṣṭvā kāṅkṣantaṁ mṛtyum ātmanaḥ, maithilī bhṛśasaṁvignā lakṣmaṇaṁ vākyam abravīt/ kim idaṁ nāvagacchāmi brūhi tattvena laksmana, paśyāmi tvām ca na svastham api ksemam mahīpateh/ śāpito 'si narendrena yat tvam samtāpam ātmanah, tad brūyāh samnidhau mahyam aham ājñāpayāmi te/ vaidehyā codyamānas tu laksmano dīnacetanah, avānmukho bāspagalo vākyam etad uvāca ha/śrutvā parisado madhye apavādam sudāruņam, pure janapade caiva tvatkrte janakātmaje/ na tāni vacanīyāni mayā devi tavāgrataļi, yāni rājñā hṛdi nyastāny amarṣaḥ pṛṣṭhataḥ kṛtaḥ sā tvam tyaktā nṛpatinā nirdosā mama samnidhau, paurāpavādabhītena grāhvam devi na te 'nyathā/ āśramāntesu ca mavā tyaktavyā tyam bhavişyasi, rājñaḥ śāsanam ājñāya tavaivam kila daurhṛdam/ tad etaj jāhnavītīre brahmarṣīṇām tapovanam, punyam ca ramanīyam ca mā visādam krthāh śubhe/ rājño daśarathasyaisa pitur me munipumgavah, sakhā paramako vipro vālmīkih sumahāyaśāh/ pādacchāyām upāgamya sukham asya mahātmanah, upavāsaparaikāgrā vasa tvam janakātmaje/ pativratātvam āsthāva rāmam krtvā sadā hrdi, śreyas te paramam devi tathā kṛtvā bhavisyati/

Asking Sumantra to stay back, the crying ay Lakshmana sat in the boat as Devi Sith still wondering as to why Lakshmana was silently sobbing. After crossing the other side of the Bhagiradhi river, Lakshmana with folded hands addressed Devi Sita: 'Videhanandini! My heart is being pierced through sharp thorns and Raghurama had enrusted to me such a grievous responsibility due to which the entire society would never excuse me ever. In this context I am having to carry out a deadly duty or of having to die or confront 'mrityu devata' herself. Devi! do very kindly blame me not'. So saying Lakshmana fell at her feet crying away ceaselessly. Then the astonished Devi Sita stated: kim idam nāvagacchāmi brūhi tattvena laksmana, paśyāmi tvām ca na svastham api ksemam mahīpateh/ śāpito 'si narendrena yat tvam samtāpam ātmanah, tad brūyāh samnidhau mahyam aham ājñāpayāmi te/vaidehyā codyamānas tu lakṣmaṇo dīnacetanaḥ, avānmukho bāṣpagalo vākyam etad uvāca ha/ Lakshmana! What is the matter as I have been noticing that something atrocious matter has happened; hope Shri Rama is safe; am getting nervous now that what you have not been disclosing to me. Do tell me as I swear on me right now and instruct you to convey rightaway. śrutvā parisado madhye apavādam sudārunam, pure janapade caiva tvatkṛte janakātmaje/ na tāni vacanīyāni mayā devi tavāgratah, yāni rājñā hṛdi nyastāny amarsah pṛṣṭhataḥ kṛtaḥ/ sā tvam tyaktā nṛpatinā nirdoṣā mama samnidhau, paurāpavādabhītena grāhyam devi na te 'nyathā/ āśramāntesu ca mayā tyaktayyā tyam bhayisyasi, rājñah śāsanam ājñāya tayaiyam kila

daurhrdam/Then Lakshmana replied in a low and disturbed tone sobbingly: 'Janaka nandini! the nagarajaanapada praja of Ayodhya Kingdom had been uttering the baseless allegations about your moral conduct and the Maja Raja Shri Rama left the Rajasabha suddenly. Devi! I am unable to explain the manner and stunned distress in which he could leave away the place and not hence dare to describe it. Even at the cost of blaming me now, King Rama even while being totally self convinced by himself but in view of 'loka ninda' had instructed me to leave you here and return away back forthwith. tad etaj jāhnavītīre brahmarṣīṇām tapovanam, puṇyam ca ramaṇīyam ca mā viṣādam kṛthāḥ śubhe/ rājño daśarathasyaisa pitur me munipumgavah, sakhā paramako vipro vālmīkih sumahāyaśāh/ pādacchāyām upāgamya sukham asya mahātmanah, upavāsaparaikāgrā vasa tvam janakātmaje/ pativratātvam āsthāya rāmam kṛtvā sadā hṛdi, śreyas te paramam devi tathā kṛtvā bhavisyati/ Be not alarmed of my dim-witted statement now, but be assured that there are brahmarshis residing here on these very banks in their ashrams for your safety and upkeep. It is at this very 'Ganga tata', my dear father King Dasharadha's close associate, the maha yashasvi Brahmarshi Munivara Valmiki has his 'vishaala aashrama' to tale fullest possible 'maha raksha' and the most comfortable residential amenities to you for your true satisfaction. Devi! May you always retain the memories of Shri Rama and follow the ideal way of living with irretrievable principle of 'paativratya'. May you now be blessed with your purposeful living in this state of conception as a garbhini awaiting the arrival with famed 'putra ratnas'!

Sarga Forty Eight

As Sita Devi fell unconscious and recovered, Lakshmana tried his best to soothen yet facing the reality she was overwhelmed with grief while Lakshmana departed and she was left dreading her fate ahead!

Laksmanasya vacah śrutvā dārunam janakātmajā, param visādam āgamya vaidehī nipapāta ha/ sā muhūrtam ivāsamjñā bāspavyākuliteksanā, laksmanam dīnayā vācā uvāca janakātmajā/ māmikeyam tanur nūnam sṛstā duhkhāya laksmana, dhātrā yasyās tathā me 'dya duhkhamūrtih pradṛśyate/ kim nu pāpam kṛtam pūrvam ko vā dārair viyojitah, yāham śuddhasamācārā tyaktā nṛpatinā satī/ purāham āśrame vāsam rāmapādānuvartinī, anurudhvāpi saumitre duhkhe viparivartinī/ sā katham hv āśrame saumya vatsyāmi vijanīkṛtā, ākhyāsyāmi ca kasyāham duḥkham duḥkhaparāyaṇā/ kim ca vakṣyāmi munişu kim mayāpakṛtam nṛpe, kasmin vā kārane tyaktā rāghavena mahātmanā/ na khalv adyaiva saumitre jīvitam jāhnavījale, tyajeyam rājavamsas tu bhartur me parihāsyate/ yathājñām kuru saumitre tyaja mām duhkhabhāginīm, nideše sthīyatām rājñah śrnu cedam vaco mama/ śvaśrūnām avišesena prānjalih pragrahena ca, śirasā vandya caranau kuśalam brūhi pārthivam/ yathā bhrātrsu vartethās tathā pauresu nityadā, paramo hy esa dharmah syād esā kīrtir anuttamā/ yat tvam paurajanam rājan dharmena samavāpnuyāḥ, aham tu nānuśocāmi svaśarīram nararṣabha, yathāpavādam paurāṇām tathaiva raghunandana/ evam bruvantyām sītāyām lakṣmaṇo dīnacetanaḥ, śirasā dharaṇīm gatvā vyāhartum na śaśāka ha/ pradakṣiṇam ca krtvā sa rudann eva mahāsvanam, āruroha punar nāvam nāvikam cābhvacodavat/ sa gatvā cottaram kūlam śokabhārasamanvitah, sammūdha iva duhkhena ratham adhyāruhad drutam/ muhur muhur apāvṛtya dṛṣṭvā sītām anāthavat, veṣṭantīm paratīrasthām lakşmanan prayayav atha/ dūrastham ratham ālokya lakşmanam ca muhur muhuḥ, nirīkṣamāṇām udvignām sītām sokah samāvisat/ sā duhkhabhārāvanatā tapasvinī; yasodharā nātham apasyatī satī, ruroda sā barhinanādite vane; mahāsvanam duḥkhaparāyaṇā satī/

Having heard the heartless Lakshmana vachanaas, Devi Sita got swooned and collapsed to earth in bewiderment for some time. On gradual recovery she was able to say in extremely hushed up tone: māmikeyam tanur nūnam sṛṣṭā duḥkhāya lakṣmaṇa, dhātrā yasyās tathā me 'dya duḥkhamūrtiḥ pradṛśyate/ kim nu pāpam kṛtam pūrvam ko vā dārair viyojitaḥ, yāham śuddhasamācārā tyaktā nṛpatinā satī/ purāham āśrame vāsam rāmapādānuvartinī, anurudhyāpi saumitre duḥkhe viparivartinī/ Lakshmana! Surely Parama Vidhata had created me and my body only to suffer and toture my mind. As such, this is another stage of my existence with yet another spell for endurance. In the series of my purva janmaas, I ought to have perpetrated 'maha paatakaas' to have been cursed as 'stree' to suffer ever and

why indeed the Maha Raja had disowned me now. Sumitra nandana! In the past fourteen long years I had been ever following the foot steps of my dear husband ever upholding the principles of paarivratya with him or of his memories. sā katham hy āśrame saumya vatsyāmi vijanīkṛtā, ākhyāsyāmi ca kasyāham duḥkham duḥkhaparāyaṇā/ kim ca vakṣyāmi muniṣu kim mayāpakṛtam nṛpe, kasmin vā kāraṇe tyaktā rāghavena mahātmanā/ na khalv advaiva saumitre jīvitam jāhnavījale, tvajevam rājavamsas tu bhartur me parihāsyate/ yathājñām kuru saumitre tyaja mām duḥkhabhāginīm, nideśe sthīyatām rājñaḥ śṛṇu cedam vaco mama/ But now Soumya Lakshmana! How indeed could I still persist further any longer with my lonely life without my 'priyajana' in an ashram life for ever. To whom should I cry for as one kind of duhkha leads to another, ever repetitively. Lashmana Prabho! If the munijana of the ashrama would question me as to why I was discarded to a maharshi ashrama, what kind of a reply be offered by me! Any way Sumitra nandana! Surely I could comfortably leave my life dedicating my life to mother Ganga here and now, but for Rama's concern for the furtherance of his posterity. You may obey the instruction of Maha Raja and convey my padaabhivandanas to him. While you leave me to my fate now anyway, do me the favor of conveying my memoriess to my 'vandaneeya stree janas'. My mothers-in law to whom I cherish my utmost respects be greeted with my prostrations while assuring them that Sita had always been of a 'shuddha charita'. Lakshmana! Do further kindly convey to Maha Raja that he has to truthfully perform all his responsibilities on the basis of dharma in respect of theirs as also of his own dharmapatni. Lakshmana! Please further convey to my dear husband that since this is my garbhini state, he may yet look up once atleast.' As Devi Sita stated thus, Lakshmana was overwhelmed with howlings being speechless. Some how he pulled out himself he bent down to earth: pradakṣiṇam ca kṛtvā sa rudann eva mahāsvanam, āruroha punar nāvam nāvikam cābhyacodayat/ sa gatvā cottaram kūlam śokabhāra samanyitah, sammūdha iya duhkhena ratham adhyāruhad drutam/ muhur muhur apāyrtya drstyā sītām anāthavat, vestantīm paratīrasthām laksmanah prayayāv atha/ While ceaselessly resisting his cryings, he performed 'pradakshinaas' and said Nispaapa pativrate! Believe me I had never seen your purna swarupa all there years as I was ever content looking at your feet and possibly flashes of your face. Kindly forgive me for my impudant act of leaving you all alone. dūrastham ratham ālokya laksmanam ca muhur muhuh, nirīkṣamāṇām udvignām sītām śokaḥ samāviśat/ sā duḥkhabhārāvanatā tapasvinī; yaśodharā nātham apaśvatī satī, ruroda sā barhinanādite vane; mahāsvanam duhkhaparāvanā satī/ As Sita was weeping away too Lakshman who got into the chariot yet repeatedly looking back again and again and from a far distance both of them were overpowered with grief. She then found that there was none ever could save her as she kept on crying repeatedly.

Sarga Forty Nine

As informed by muni kumaras, Maharshi with his 'diya drishti' reached the banks of Ganga and brought the forlorn Devi Sita brought to his ashram respectfully entrusting ashrama strees to ensure her comfort.

Sītām tu rudatīm dṛṣṭvā ye tatra munidārakāḥ, prādravan yatra bhagavān āste vālmīkir agryadhīḥ/abhivādya muneḥ pādau muniputrā maharṣaye, sarve nivedayām āsus tasyās tu ruditasvanam/adṛṣṭapūrvā bhagavan kasyāpy eṣā mahātmanaḥ, patnī śrīr iva sammohād virauti vikṛtasvarā/bhagavan sādhu paśyemām devatām iva khāc cyutām, na hy enām mānuṣīm vidmaḥ satkriyāsyāḥ prayujyatām/teṣām tad vacanam śrutvā buddhyā niścitya dharmavit, tapasā labdhacakṣuṣmān prādravad yatra maithilī/tam tu deśam abhipretya kim cit padbhyām mahāmuniḥ, arghyam ādāya ruciram jāhvanītīram āśritaḥ, dadarśa rāghavasyeṣṭām patnīm sītām anāthavat/tām sītām śokabhārārtām vālmīkir munipumgavaḥ, uvāca madhurām vāṇīm hlādayann iva tejasā/snuṣā daśarathasya tvam rāmasya mahiṣī satī, janakasya sutā rājñaḥ svāgatam te pativrate/āyānty evāsi vijñātā mayā dharmasamādhinā, kāraṇam caiva sarvam me hṛdayenopalakṣitam/apāpām vedmi sīte tvām tapolabdhena cakṣuṣā, viśuddhabhāvā vaidehi sāmpratam mayi vartase/āśramasyāvidūre me tāpasyas tapasi sthitāḥ, tās tvām vatse yathā vatsam pālayiṣyanti nityaśaḥ/idam arghyam pratīccha tvam visrabdhā vigatajvarā, yathā svagṛham abhyetya viṣādam caiva mā kṛthāḥ/śrutvā tu bhāṣitam sītā muneḥ paramam adbhutam, śirasā vandya caraṇau tathety āha kṛtāñjaliḥ/tam prayāntam munim sītā prāñjaliḥ pṛṣṭhato 'nvagāt, anvayād yatra

tāpasyo dharmanityāḥ samāhitāḥ/ tam drṣṭvā munim āyāntam vaidehyānugatam tadā, upājagmur mudā yuktā vacanam cedam abruvan/ svāgatam te muniśreṣṭha cirasyāgamanam prabho, abhivādayāmaḥ sarvās tvām ucyatām kim ca kurmahe/ tāsām tad vacanam śrutvā vālmīkir idam abravīt, sīteyam samanuprāptā patnī rāmasya dhīmataḥ/ snuṣā daśarathasyaiṣā janakasya sutā satī, apāpā patinā tyaktā paripālyā mayā sadā/ imām bhavatyaḥ paśyantu snehena parameṇa ha, gauravān mama vākyasya pūjyā vo 'stu viśeṣataḥ/ muhur muhuś ca vaidehīm parisāntvya mahāyaśāḥ, svam āśramam śiṣyavṛtaḥ punar āyān mahātapāḥ/

Almost immediately that Lakshmana asked Devi Sita to descent from the chariot driven by Sumantra, she had sighted Rishi Kumaras who ran and approached Valmiki Maharshi and informed that a celestial female was sighted in the vicinity of the ashrama and was looking lost with her fatigued looks. The Muni kumaras said: 'Bhagavan! You may like to go and see her yourself, as she was looking like a divya stree just descended fom the high skies. Prabho! She is right now seated on the banks of the sacred Ganga crying away helplessly. teṣām tad vacanam śrutvā buddhyā niścitya dharmavit, tapasā labdhacakṣuṣmān prādravad vatra maithilī/ tam tu deśam abhipretva kim cit padbhyām mahāmunih, arghyam ādāya ruciram jāhvanītīram āśritaḥ, dadarśa rāghavasyeṣṭām patnīm sītām anāthavat/ tām sītām śokabhārārtām vālmīkir munipumgavah, uvāca madhurām vāṇīm hlādayann iva tejasā/Having heard the agitated remarks of the Muni Vidyardhis, the Maharshi had atonce noticed on his diva drishti that Mithilesha kumari Sita was seated crying alone. Then along with the shishya kumaaraas, the Maharshi walked up to the 'ganga tata sthaana' and witnessed Shri Raghunaadha priya Devi Sita with her head down crying away in desperation. Then he addressed her soothingly and smilingly. snuṣā daśarathasya tvam rāmasya mahişī satī, janakasya sutā rājnah svāgatam te pativrate/āyānty evāsi vijnātā mayā dharmasamādhinā, kāranam caiva sarvam me hrdayenopalaksitam/ apāpām vedmi sīte tvām tapolabdhena caksusā, viśuddhabhāvā vaidehi sāmpratam mayi vartase/āśramasyāvidūre me tāpasyas tapasi sthitāh, tās tvām vatse yathā vatsam pālayisyanti nityaśah/Pativrata Devi! welcome to you as the Dasharatha putra vadhu, Shri Rama's dharma patni, Mithila Raja Janaka putri, 'suswaagatam'. I have already realised the full details in my 'dharma samaadhi' about your arrival here, the reason of Rama's parityaga, the cause of his having to do so, the loka ninda. Dedi Sita! From my 'tapobala diva drishti' I am fully aware of your irreversible chastity and 'paativratya mahima'. Be patient for now and stay with me in this vishaala ashrama under my care and of the 'muni kaantaas and kanyaas' with all the comforts at your disposal. Dear daughter! Some of the taapasi strees are also here and they would look after you in this 'garbhaavastha'. idam arghyam pratīccha tvam visrabdhā vigatajvarā, yathā svagrham abhyetya visādam caiva mā krthāh/ śrutvā tu bhāsitam sītā muneh paramam adbhutam, śirasā vandya caranau tathety āha kṛtāñjalih/ Now do accept my' kamanadala teertha' and be with 'nishinta- nirbhaya paristhiti'. Then Devi Sita was too pleased to accept the kind offer and followed the footsteps of the Maharshi towards the ashram. tam prayāntam munim sītā prāñjalih prsthato 'nvagāt, anvayād yatra tāpasyo dharmanityāḥ samāhitāḥ/ tam dṛṣṭvā munim āyāntam vaidehyānugatam tadā, upājagmur mudā yuktā vacanam cedam abruvan/ svāgatam te muniśrestha cirasvāgamanam prabho, abhivādavāmah sarvās tvām ucvatām kim ca kurmahe/As Videhanandini was following the Maharshi, Valmiki Ashrama's annexture of the 'ashrama' and the muni patnis' had warmly welcomed Valmiki Maharshi who made the announcement: 'Devi Sita had kindly accepted his invitation to stay here with comfort. The Maharshi then addressed the Ashrama Strees, most of them being 'vriddha punistrees' of the aged wives of their husbands as being ever devoted their vriddha pandita sishyaas of the Maharshi Valmilki im hia ashrama as follows: snuṣā daśarathasyaiṣā janakasya sutā satī, apāpā patinā tyaktā paripālyā mayā sadā/ imām bhavatyah paśyantu snehena paramena ha, gauravān mama vākyasya pūjyā vo 'stu viśesatah/ muhur muhuś ca vaidehīm parisāntvya mahāyaśāḥ, svam āśramam śiṣyavṛtaḥ punar āyān mahātapāḥ/ She is the Raja Dasharatha putra Shri Rama's dharmapatni and Janaka Raja's putri; even being a nishpaapi parivrata shiromani was harassed by 'loka nindaas', Rama had to resort to the harsh step to 'bharya parityaga' being a parma dharma murti! It is now our bounden duty to provide all facilities of her comfort with 'shraddha gouravas'!

Sarga Forty Nine

As informed by muni kumaras, Maharshi with his 'diya drishti' reached the banks of Ganga and brought the forlorn Devi Sita brought to his ashram respectfully entrusting ashrama strees to ensure her comfort

Drstvā tu maithilīm sītām āśramam sampraveśitām, samtāpam akarod ghoram laksmaņo dīnacetanah/ abravīc ca mahātejāḥ sumantram mantrasārathim, sītāsamtāpajam duḥkham paśya rāmasya dhīmataḥ/ ato duhkhataram kim nu rāghavasva bhavisvati, patnīm śuddhasamācārām visriva janakātmajām/ vyaktam daivād aham manye rāghavasya vinābhavam, vaidehyā sārathe sārdham daivam hi duratikramam/ yo hi devān sagandharvān asurān saha rāksasaih, nihanyād rāghavah kruddhah sa daivam anuvartate/ purā mama pitur vākyair dandake vijane vane, usito navavarsāni pañca caiva sudārune/ tato duhkhataram bhūyah sītāyā vipravāsanam, paurānām vacanam śrutvā nrśamsam pratibhāti me/ko nu dharmāśrayaḥ sūta karmaṇy asmin ya-śohare, maithilīm prati samprāptaḥ paurair hīnārthavādibhiḥ/ etā bahuvidhā vācaḥ śrutvā lakṣmaṇabhāṣitāḥ, sumantraḥ prāñjalir bhūtvā vākyam etad uvāca ha/ na samtāpas tvavā kārvah saumitre maithilīm prati, drstam etat purā vipraih pitus te lakşmanāgrataḥ/ bhavişyati drdham rāmo duḥkhaprāyo 'lpasaukhyavān, tvām caiva maithilīm caiva śatrughnabharatau tathā, samtyajiṣyati dharmātmā kālena mahatā mahān/ na tv idam tvayi vaktavyam saumitre bharate 'pi vā, rājñā vo 'vyāhrtam vākyam durvāsā yad uvāca ha/ mahārājasamīpe ca mama caiva nararsabha, ṛṣinā vyāhṛtam vākyam vasisthasya ca samnidhau/ ṛṣes tu vacanam śrutvā mām āha puruşarşabhah, sūta na kva cid evam te vaktavyam janasamnidhau/ tasyāham lokapālasya vākyam tat susamāhitah, naiva jātv anrtam kurvām iti me saumva daršanam/ sarvathā nāstv avaktavvam mavā saumva tavāgratah, yadi te śravane śraddhā śrūyatām raghunandana/ yady apy aham narendrena rahasyam śrāvitaḥ purā, tac cāpy udāhariṣyāmi daivam hi duratikramam/ tac chrutvā bhāṣitam tasya gambhīrārthapadam mahat, tathyam brūhīti saumitrih sūtam vākyam athābravīt/

On way back to Ayodhya having dutifully left Devi Sita on the banks of Gang near Maharshi Valmiki Ashram initiated conversation to Ratha Saaradhi Sumantra. He said: 'look Sumantra! Shri Rama must now bed feeling the absence of Sita Devi by now. How sad is the play of destiny. Is not Rama who could devastate Deva- Gandharva-Rakshasa- Asuras being the truthful 'daiyopaasaka'. Yet, by the father's simple nod of his head had undergone the severest possible 'aranya vaasa' for as long a period of fourteen years! tato duhkhataram bhūyah sītāyā viprayāsanam, paurānām vacanam śrutvā nrśamsam pratibhāti me/ko nu dharmāśrayah sūta karmany asmin ya-śohare, maithilīm prati samprāptah paurair hīnārthavādibhih/ Now on top of that punishment, is now the 'Sita Parityaga' quite without cumpunction of his own conscience simply on the basis of some pura-jaanapada vaasis careless and casual remarks! Suta! What kind of justification is this kind of 'dharma raashi upaasana' and vindication of justice is this!'. Then Saaradhi Sumantra replied to Lalshmana: 'Sumitra nandana! You should not get worked up in this manner about Mithileshwarikumari Devi Sita. You may or may not be aware of certain recalls of the past incidents right before in the presence of your dearmost father Dasharatha. bhavişyati drdham rāmo duhkhaprāvo 'lpasaukhyavān, tvām caiva maithilīm caiva śatrughnabharatau tathā, samtyajiṣyati dharmātmā kālena mahatā mahān/ na tv idam tvayi vaktavyam saumitre bharate 'pi vā, rājñā vo 'vyāhrtam vākyam durvāsā yad uvāca ha/Durvasa Maha Muni asserted to your father that his son Shri Rama would be most definitely experiening several hurdles all through his life long. mahārājasamīpe ca mama caiva nararsabha, rsinā vyāhrtam vākyam vasisthasya ca samnidhau/ rses tu vacanam śrutvā mām āha puruşarşabhah, sūta na kva cid evam te vaktavyam janasamnidhau/ tasyāham lokapālasya vākyam tat susamāhitah, naiva jātv anṛtaṁ kuryām iti me saumya darśanam/Narashreshtha Lakshmana! Durvasa Maha Muni said likewise in the presence olf Maharshi Vasishtha and viprottamaas too. Soumya Lakshmana! That was how Dasharatha Maha Raja too was fully aware of this and so am I eversince. sarvathā nāsty avaktavyam mayā saumya tavāgratah, yadi te śravane śraddhā śrūyatām raghunandana/ yady apy aham narendrena rahasyam śrāvitah purā, tac cāpy udāharisyāmi daivam hi duratikramam/ tac chrutvā bhāṣitam tasya gambhīrārthapadam mahat, tathyam brūhīti saumitriḥ sūtam vākyam athābravīt/ Raghunandana! Even being fully aware of such past happenings, Maha Raja Dasharadha instructed me

long ago but still I am giving this secret information to you today. Indeed one could never ever transgress 'daiva vidhaana'. But do keep this information to yourself and not even to Bharata Shutrughnas.

Sarga Fifty

As informed by muni kumaras, Maharshi with his 'diya drishti' reached the banks of Ganga and brought the forlorn Devi Sita brought to his ashram respectfully entrusting ashrama strees to ensure her comfort

Tathā samcoditah sūto laksmanena mahātmanā, tad vākyam rsinā proktam vyāhartum upacakrame/ purā nāmnā hi durvāsā atreh putro mahāmunih, vasisthasyāśrame punye sa vārsikyam uvāsa ha/ tam āśramam mahātejāh pitā te sumahāyaśāh, purodhasam mahātmānam didrksur agamat svayam/ sa drstvā sūryasamkāśam įvalantam iva tejasā, upavistam vasisthasya savye pārśve mahāmunim, tau munī tāpasaśresthau vinītas tv abhyavādayat/ sa tābhyām pūjito rājā svāgatenāsanena ca, pādyena phalamūlais ca so 'py āste munibhih saha/ teṣām tatropaviṣṭānām tās tāh sumadhurāh kathāh, babhūvuh paramarsīnām madhvādityagate 'hani/ tatah kathāyām kasyām cit prāñjalih pragraho nrpah, uvāca tam mahātmānam atreḥ putram tapodhanam/ bhagavan kimpramānena mama vamso bhavisyati, kimāyus ca hi me rāmaḥ putrāś cānye kimāyuṣaḥ/ rāmasya ca sutā ye syus teṣām āyuḥ kiyad bhavet, kāmyayā bhagavan brūhi vamsasyāsya gatim mama/ tac chrutvā vyāhrtam vākyam rājño dasarathasya tu, durvāsāh sumahātejā vyāhartum upacakrame/ ayodhyāyāh patī rāmo dīrghakālam bhavisyati, sukhinas ca samṛddhāś ca bhaviṣyanty asya cānujāh/ kasmimś cit karane tvām ca maithilīm ca yaśasvinīm, samtyajisvati dharmātmā kālena mahatā kila/daśavarsasahasrani daśavarsaśatāni ca, rāmo rājvam upāsitvā brahmalokam gamişyati/ samrddhair hayamedhais ca istvā parapuramjayah, rājavamsāms ca kākutstho bahūn samsthāpayisyati/ sa sarvam akhilam rājño vamsasyāsya gatāgatam, ākhyāya sumahātejās tūsnīm āsīn mahādyutih/ tūsnīmbhūte munau tasmin rājā daśarathas tadā, abhivādya mahātmānau punar āyāt purottamam/ etad vaco mayā tatra muninā vyāhṛtam purā, śrutam hṛdi ca niksiptam nānyathā tad bhavisyati/ evam gate na samtāpam gantum arhasi rāghava, sītārthe rāghavārthe vā dṛḍho bhava narottama/ tac chrutvā vyāhṛtam vākyam sūtasya paramādbhutam, praharṣam atulam lebhe sādhu sādhv iti cābravīt/ tayoh samvadator evam sūtalaksmanayoh pathi, astam arko gato vāsam gomatyām tāv athosatuh/

Lakshmana got curious to know further more about Durvasa Maha Muni. Then Sumatra explained. Durvasa the Atri Putra spent chaturmaasya at Vasishtha Maharshis ashram once before. One day the Purohita Vasishtha Maharshi was visited by King Dasharatha too. The King then kept the Raja Kumara Shri Rama on his lap with affection narrating veera kshatriya stories. Curiously enough Dasharatha asked Durvasa about the lasting fame of Ikshvaaku vamsha as also about the longevity of himself and that of Raja Kumara Rama too. Dasharatha further asked as to how many sons that Rama once grown up might beget. Could you kindly explain in detail about the furtherance of the Ikshvaaku Vamsha! Then Maha Muni replied to Dasharatha as follows: tac chrutvā vyāhrtam vākvam rājño daśarathasva tu, durvāsāh sumahātejā vyāhartum upacakrame/ ayodhyāyāh patī rāmo dīrghakālam bhavisyati, sukhinas ca samṛddhāś ca bhaviṣyanty asya cānujāh/ kasmimś cit karaṇe tvām ca maithilīm ca yaśasvinīm, samtyajisyati dharmātmā kālena mahatā kila/ Ayodhyaa Rajya under the rule of Shri Rama would prosper for deergka kaala, yet he would have to be cursed by his wife's absence for long too. Let me tell you now the background as to this was based on. Raja! In the hoary past, there were countless 'Devaasura sangramaas' in which Devas had an upper hand and the ever harassed daityas sought refuge from the wife of Bhrigu Maharshi. There after daityas were freely moving about and Bhagavan Vishnu was enraged and tossed his chakra which killed Bhrigu's wife. But Bhrigu reached Vishnu and gave a 'shaap' that he should be born as a human being and should suffer 'patni viyoga'. It was due to that curse that Vishnu was reborn first as Vamana Deva and later as Shri Rama. daśavarsasahasrani daśavarsaśatāni ca, rāmo rājyam upāsitvā brahmalokam gamisyati/ samṛddhair hayamedhais ca istvā parapuramjayah, rājavamśāmś ca kākutstho bahūn samsthāpayiṣyati/ sa sarvam akhilam rājño vamśasyāsya gatāgatam, ākhvāva sumahātejās tūsnīm āsīn mahādvutih/ Durvasa further continued to Dasharatha as follows:

'Notwithstanding Bhrigu's curse, Shri Rama should be 'dirghaayu' for eleven thousand years with 'dhana-dhaanya-yasho samaptti' and would also perform 'ashvamedha yagjna' two successfully. So explained Sumantra to Lakshmana.

[Vishleshana on Bhrigu Maharshi: in general and from Devi Bhagavata Purana:

Maharshi Bhrigu was one of Brahma the Manasputras like Narada, Vasishtha, Atri, Gautama and so on. He was married to Khyati (the daughter of Daksha), Puloma (daughter of Kardama) and Usana. Two sons, Dhata and Vidhata and a daughter Shri were born to Khyati. Maharshi Bhrigu is also called Prajapati (creator) as he was created by Brahma to help him in the process of creation of the universe. Chyavana was his son from Puloma, Lakshmi was his daughter whowas the wife of Vishnu also named as Bhargavi. Sukracharya, the preceptor of Daityas is a son of Bhrigu born to Usana. When the battle ensued between the Devatas and the Daityas, the Devatas led by Indra had the upper hand. Daityas went to their Guru, Sukracharya and sought his help, but as he left for severe Tapasya to please Maha Shiva to accomplish' Mrita Sanjivini mantra siddhi, they sought refuge in Usana, the mother of Sukracharya, assured them protection and by using her powers froze the devatas. Devatas prayed to Vishnu to protect them and get them out of the predicament. Vishnu understood that the curse on devatas could not be annulled unless Usana was killed. But Usana being a womanr without violating theprecepts of dharma, disguised Himself as a ferocious beast and tried to scare Usana who in turn desired to turn Vishnu and Indra to ashes. In self defence, without having to infringe the principle and under the garb of self defence, even before her attempt to convert both as ashes abd well before the words of the 'shaap' were spelt out, Vishnu killed Bhrigu's wife with a sharp arrow and separated her head from her body. Once Usana was killed, her powers also left and Devatas became free but Bhrigu cursed Vishnu to take birth on earth and go through the cycles of birth and death and thus suffer like all humans. He brought his wife back to life with his powers. Vishnu accepted the curse of the Maharshi gracefully.

Devi Bhagavata Purana further explains further as follows: There were on-going battles between Devas and Demons, but the most potent war fought was that of Bali with Devas in which Danavas had an upper hand .But Lord Vishnu took the incarnation of Vamana and tricked Bali by asking for just three feet of land and occupied the entire Universe and suppressed Bali's head to the Sub-terranian world as the third foot! Similarly Prahlada's father Hiranyakasipu was killed taking the form of half-lion and half - man to escape the effect of Brahma's boon. Thus each time Danavas got boons from Brahma, Lord Vishnu tried to search for the escape clauses of the boons secured after rigorous Tapasya and appeared as the saviour of Devas always. Thus brooding, Sukra Acharya, the son of Sage Bhrigu and Urjasvati, consoled Danavas and assured that some other strategy would have to be followed to achieve victory over Devas. Thus Danava Guru asked for patience and restraint and meanwhile practised a life of austerity and abstinence till he found a solution to the problem from Tapasya. The Acharya then meditated Lord Siva for several years together and finally pleased him for a boon. He explained that the various Tapasyas performed by Danava Kings in the past to Brahma and the boons obtained from him proved futile since they had only temporary impact and each time Lord Vishnu was discovering loopholes in the boons received. That was the reason why Lord Siva was approached for a solution as a boon, the kind of which should not have been granted to his opponent Brihaspati, the Deva Guru. Lord Siva in turn gave a very arduous method to follow namely to perform penance for thousand years lying upside down inhaling smoke from burnt husk. Meanwhile Deva Guru disguised himself as Sukracharya and gradually misguided Danavas and taught them a licentious and wicked life quite contrary to what Sukracharya advised before his departure for Tapasya. The Danavas were provoked by the Fake Danava Guru went on war against Devas who killed several Demons as the latter were disunited, indisciplined and weak. Sukracharya's mother, Kavya, found that Devas were drawing too near to Danavas and protected them by putting Devas to deep sleep by requesting the Goddess of 'Nidra' (Slumber). Indra escaped the sleep as Lord Vishnu absorbed him into His body; He also used the Sudarsana Chakra (Wheel) and cut off Kavva's head even ignoring that she was a woman that too the wife of Sage Bhrigu. The Sage was furious on learning that Vishnu's Chakra cut Kayya's head and gave him a curse that Vishnu would be born again and again as a human being since He never cared for the killing of a woman and hence be punished by learning the misery of staying imprisoned for nine months each time before the births. Also by his mystic powers, the Sage revived his wife to come alive! Indra was afraid that Bhrigu cursed Narayana and soon original Visvamitra would also return after securing the much desired Mantra from Lord Siva. So Indra made a plan and asked his daughter Jayanti to disguise herself as a maid and reach Visvamitra's hermitage and please his mother Kavya to start with and please the Sage in his duties subsequently which she did exceedingly well. Meanwhile Visvamitra secured a great boon from Lord Siva that he would be invincible to any force in the Universe. Lord Siva blessed the Sage with the Mantra. Also he was pleased with the sevices of Jayanti and desired to give boons to her. She revealed her identity as Indra's daughter and requested the Sage to marry her. Visvamitra agreed that she could be with him for ten years, that he would not attend to any outside task during the period and that she would not be visible to others. Indra's plan thus succeeded well. The fake Sukracharya (Brihaspati) too had a successful time. But after ten year's time Visvamitra left Jayanti and returned to Asuras and sought to expose the fake Sukracharya, but the fake Sage advised that he was real Sukracharya and the one who arrived just then was really fake! The real Sukacharya was not able to convince the foolish Danavas and having cursed them for not recognising him left in anger. Having fulfilled his mission, the fake Sukracharya or Brihaspati returned to Indra Loka. Danavas felt cheated and desired to convey their sincere apologies and thus approached Sukracharya with King Prahlada in the lead. The Sage was furious as he felt insulted, while actually he took the trouble of severe Tapasya only for the welfare of the entire Danava community whereas they let him down badly by believing in Brihaspati in disguise. King Prahlada pleaded with the Sage very earnestly and all the Danavas prostrated before the Guru to excuse them for their lack of gratitude and commonsense. Sukracharya understood from his intuition that the regrets expressed by Prahlada and Danavas were genuine. He then narrated that Lord Brahma assured him of the King of Danava's coming to power soon and for the time being Danavas would have to lie low and await excellent times till Prahlada's grandson would be born as Bali and reign the Three Worlds. What the Danava Guru told Prahlada was so encouraging that he did not wait for more time and attacked the Devas; Devas lost the war. Indra was surprised at the defeat of Devas. He prayed to Devi Bhagavati at the instance of Deva Guru, Brihaspati. He extolled the unparalleled Glory of Devi as per 'Shakti Darsana' and described Her as the 'Tatvas' rooted to the material manifestation of Pancha Bhootas or Five Elements; the Tatvas include Maha Bindu, Nada Sakti and Misrama Bindu. She dwelt in five sheaths (Kosas) viz. Annamaya, Prana Maya Kosa, Manonmaya, Vignana Maya and Ananda Maya. She was the Vedas, Sastras, Upanishads, Mantras, Tantras and multi-routed final destination and so on. Devi Bhagavati was pleased and made Her extraordinary appearance in full form, packed with armoury and ornaments. Out of sheer panic, Danavas led by King Prahlada fled away to Patala forthwith. Thus ended the unwarranted war declared by Danavas against Devatas who had other important duties to perform; thus the Devi's appearance was a warning to both Devas and Danavas that they should not waste mutual energies in frequent bickerings. Thus there was a Truce ending the War.]

Sarga Fifty Two

Recalling Maha Muni Durvasa's vachanas of 'Vamsha Kalyana' with special reference to Rama, Lakshmana faced Rama with trepidation and pacified him of Sita Viyoga to get back near normalcy.

Tatra tām rajanīm uṣya gomatyām raghunandanaḥ, prabhāte punar utthāya lakṣmaṇaḥ prayayau tadā/tato 'rdhadivase prāpte praviveśa mahārathaḥ, ayodhyām ratnasampūrṇām hṛṣṭapuṣṭajanāvṛtām/saumitris tu param dainyam jagāma sumahāmatiḥ, rāmapādau samāsādya vakṣyāmi kim aham gataḥ/tasyaivam cintayānasya bhavanam śaśisamnibham, rāmasya paramodāram purastāt samadṛśyata/rājñas tu bhavanadvāri so 'vatīrya narottamaḥ, avāmmukho dīnamanāḥ prāviveśānivāritaḥ/sa dṛṣṭvā rāghavam dīnam āsīnam paramāsane, netrābhyām aśrupūrṇābhyām dadarśāgrajam agrataḥ/jagrāha caraṇau tasya lakṣmaṇo dīnacetanaḥ, uvāca dīnayā vācā prāñjaliḥ susamāhitaḥ/āryasyājñām puraskṛtya visṛjya

janakātmajām, gaṅgātīre yathoddiṣṭe vālmīker āśrame śubhe, punar asmy āgato vīra pādamūlam upāsitum/ mā śucaḥ puruṣavyāghra kālasya gatir īdṛśī, tvadvidhā na hi śocanti sattvavanto manasvinaḥ/ sarve kṣayāntā nicayāḥ patanāntāḥ samucchrayāḥ, saṃyogā viprayogāntā maraṇāntaṁ ca jīvitam/ śaktas tvam ātmanātmānaṁ vijetuṁ manasaiva hi, lokān sarvāṁś ca kākutstha kiṁ punar duḥkham īdṛśam/ nedṛśeṣu vimuhyanti tvadvidhāḥ puruṣarṣabhāḥ, yadarthaṁ maithilī tyaktā apavādabhayān nṛpa/ sa tvaṁ puruṣaśārdūla dhairyeṇa susamāhitaḥ, tyajemāṁ durbalāṁ buddhiṁ saṁtāpaṁ mā kuruṣva ha/ evam uktas tu kākutstho lakṣmaṇena mahātmanā, uvāca parayā prītyā saumitriṁ mitravatsalam/ evam etan naraśreṣṭha yathā vadasi lakṣmaṇa, paritoṣaś ca me vīra mama kāryānuśāsane/ nirvṛtiś ca kṛtā saumya saṁtāpaś ca nirākṛtaḥ, bhavadvākyaiḥ sumadhurair anunīto 'smi lakṣmaṇa/

On arrival back to Ayodhyapuri be the afternoon, Lakshmana was wondering as to how to face Shri Rama after getting down the chariot at the Rja Bhavana. By then King Rama was already seated on his simhasana with both of his eyes were full of tears. āryasyājñām puraskṛtya visṛjya janakātmajām, gangātīre yathoddiste vālmīker āśrame śubhe, punar asmy āgato vīra pādamūlam upāsitum/ mā śucaḥ purusavyāghra kālasva gatir īdršī, tvadvidhā na hi šocanti sattvavanto manasvinah/ sarve ksavāntā nicayāḥ patanāntāḥ samucchrayāḥ, samyogā viprayogāntā maraṇāntam ca jīvitam/Lakshmana then addressed Shri Rama: 'Maha Raja! as directed by you in detail I had left Janaka nandini at the banks of Ganga near Maharshi Valmiki Ashrama as per the exact location prescribed and had just returned. Purusha Simha, kindly cry not since the Kaala Devata's circumstantial pressures are irrevocable and buddhimaan maha veeras ought to reconcile gradually as time would pass on. In one's own life time, each and every Being need to harden one's respective physique and control emotions as per the passage of time; and in your own case surely, your capacity to suppress them is truly exrardinary. We are all aware about the pangs of vivoga baadha of stree, putra, mitras but the kaal nirnaya could only be the time healer as one's own circumstances are truly variable. Kaakusthakula bhushana! Your capability for reconciliation to the vicsissitudes of life and that of 'kaala prabhava' are truly heroic. Yet, the need for carrying with you the stree-purusha-mitra-dhana sampatti becomes inevitable. śaktas tvam ātmanātmānam vijetum manasaiva hi, lokān sarvāms ca kākutstha kim punar duḥkham īdṛṣʿam/ nedṛṣʿeṣu vimuhyanti tvadvidhāh purusarsabhāh, vadartham maithilī tvaktā apavādabhavān nrpa/ sa tvam purusaśārdūla dhairyena susamāhitah, tyajemām durbalām buddhim samtāpam mā kurusva ha/ evam uktas tu kākutstho lakṣmaṇena mahātmanā, uvāca parayā prītyā saumitrim mitravatsalam/ Kakusthakulabhushana! You are born blessed with the union of hearts, antaratmas of Beings in trilokas, and for a spectacular human like you should indeed be able to contain the passing conditions and phases of life. A person of your 'shitha pragjnyatva', steadfastness, and self control might look odd to bear the pain in the heart for now. Raghunandana! A shreshtha purusha as you certainly are must never be blamed for weak hearedness, in any case. Purushasimha! be brave for now and discard timidity; get rid of this 'shoka buddhi' and stop crying, while concentration on the Supreme right within your self.' In this manner, Lakshmana sought to soothen Rama's inner psyche. evam etan naraśrestha yathā vadasi laksmana, paritosas ca me vīra mama kārvānusāsane/ nirvrtis ca krtā saumva samtāpas ca nirākrtah, bhavadvākvaih sumadhurair anunīto 'smi laksmana/ Then Rama addressed Lakshmana: 'Narashreshtha Lakshmana! I am alright now as I am thankful for your words of soothening the burst of my emotions. I must now seek to follow your heartfelt words and get back to normalcy. I am beholden to you for your earnest and timely counselling for my 'manasshaanti'!

Sargas Fifty Three and Fifty Four

<u>Having regained semi-normalcy</u>, Rama sought to resume the regular Raja Sabha, recalling the example of King Nriga neglecting his Raja Dharma and was subjected to Vipra Shaapas to be a chameleon for yugas!

Having been pleased by the 'saantvana vachanaas', the recouped King Rama felt that four valuable days had passed and the daily proceedings of the Rajy Sabha had been upset there since. He then asked Lakshmana to have the convening of the normal proceedings of Rajyaanga Vyayahaasas and the cross

section of the praja including strees, purohita, pandita, mantris be called atonce. As Lakshmana got the Sabha convened accordingly, Shri Rama asserted: pourakaaryaani y rajaa na karoti dine dine, samvrite narake ghore patitonaatra samshayah/ Shruyate hi puraa raajaa Nrugo naama mahaa yashaah, babhuva prithivipaalo brahmanyah satya vaak shuchih/ 'Lakshmana! Who soever of the Kings would not attend the raiya sabhas daily, pass away ingloriously without ascertaining the 'kashta sukhaas' of his praja would be surely reach narakas where there would be no possibility of breathing except rarely to let him survive! In the olden ages, there was King named Nriga a maha tapasi, yashasvi, vipra bhakta, satyavaadi, and achhara-vichaata sampanna. Once he vsited Pushkara Tirtha and gave away 'mahaa pushkala daanas' to veda pandita brahmanas of suvarnaabharanaas and as asmany as a crore of milch cows. Lakshmana! At that time Nriga Raja spotted a daridra-nityaagnihotra- bahu santaani brahmana from Kankala village and gave a cow and calf. Several years there after, that very brahmana had unfortunately lost the cow as apparently somebody stole the 'go maata'. Ever seeking to loate that, the poor brahmana visited Kankhala village and tried to some how locate the Go maata in good shape in a brahmana's cottage. He addressed the go maata as Shabala. Atha taam naamadheyena svaknovaacha brahmanah, aagaccha shabaletyevayam saa tu shishraaya gouh syaram/ Tasya tam syaramaagiyaaya khudaartasya dwijasya vai anvagaat pushthitah saa gourgancchantam paavakopamam/ Yopi paalayate viprah sopi gaamanvagaadd dryutam, gatvaacha tamushim chashte gouriti satvaram, sparshitaa raajasimhena mama datta nrigenah/ As soon as the cow was called with affection saying 'come here, come here', she jumped forward with quick response. The brahmana of the Kankhala and the visitor brahmana entered into an arguments as the visitor brahmana asserted that Nriga Maharaja himself gifted Shabala himself. Tato braahnanayoryaado mahaanaaseed vipaschitoh, vivandantou tatonyonyam daataaramabhijugmatuh/ Tou raajabhavana dwaari na praaptou Nrigashaasanam, ahoraatranyekaani vasantou krodhameeyatuh/ Uuchitascha mahaatmaanou taavibhou dwijasattamou, kriddhou parama samtaptou vaakyam ghoraabhisamhitam/ Then both vidwaan braahmanaas drove the cow fighting each other and reached the palace of the King. Then both of them kept on waiting for Raja darshana for several days and nights continuing their mutual bickerings. They lost their patience and with frustrated anger cursed them with extreme fury. Aaarthimnaam yasmaatvam naishi darshanam, adrushtah sarva bhutaanaam krukulaaso bhavishyasi/ Bahuvarsha sahasraani bahuvarsha shataanicha, shvyabhre twam krukuleebhuto deerghakaalam nivasityasi/ They both hurled their 'shaapaas' shouting at the King; Raja! we have been waiting for days and nights hoping you would provide justice to us about the ownership of this cow that you had donated to us. But you had been consistently refusing to meet us for your final judgment. Now our curse to you should be that you become a girgit or chameleon being a turncoat for thousands of years. Upatsyate hi lokosmin yaduunaam keertivardhana, vaasudeva iti khyaato vishnuh purusha vgrahah/ sate mokshuyataa shaapaad raajatasmaad bhavishyasi/ kritaa cha tena kaaleena nishktutistey bhavishyasi/ Bhaaraavtaranaartham hi nara naraayanaavibhou,upastyate mahaaveeryom kalou yuga upasthite/ Only in the next dwapara yuga when Maha Vishnu would incarnate as Bhagavan Krishna then only you would be freed from this 'shaapa'. Once again in the Kali Yuga, you should become Nara Narayama swarups.'

As Shri Rama continued to explain to about Rajarshi Nriga thus, Lakshmana explained that in those days of the yore, obviously brahmanottamas were worked up even by minor lapses and gave such long lasting 'yugaantara maha shaapaas' too! How did the Rajarshi react then. Rama explained: Then the Rajarshi having been notified by his dwaara paalakas, had literally ran after the brahmanottamaas and having realised that they had already left away, called for the mantris, purohitas, and purajanas and explained: 'Sajjano! Brahmarsha Narada seated on a parvat raja came to me and informed of the details of the 'maha viprottama shaapa' but they seem to have left for brahma loka. Hence I have decided to make my son Vasu naamaka rajakumara as the King and asking the shilpis to get get ready to dig up earth to make a plarform for me lie down with 'sugandha yukta pushpa vrikshas' all around for me rest with cool breezes all around.' Then the Rajarshi endeared the new King and addressed the son to follow the precepts of kshatriya dharma parayaana and explained: *Praaptavyaanayeva praaproti gantanyanyeva gacchati*, *labdhanyaanyeva labhate duhkhaani sukhaanicha*, *purve jaatyantare vatsa maa vishaadam kurupva ha/* Dear son, as as per the 'purva janma krita sukritaas'only any Being's present and futue 'plalaaphalaas' are

reaped; and hence do not get too alarmed and concerned about me. Having this advised the new king and stated 'good bye' all the present maha jana had entered the pit.

Sarga Fifty Five

Asked about Ikshvaaku Kings ever busy with Yagjnas, Rama cited King Nimi versus Brahmarshi Vasishtha and their mutual curses.

Thus Shri Rama explained to Lakshmana about the requirement of King's to be ever available responding to the needs of their 'prajaas'. Then Lakshmana was surprised at such past events related to Kings in general. Then he had specifically enquired of the Kings in the lineage of Ikshvaaku Vamsha. Then Shri Rama explained that of the twelve famed sons who were all of 'dharma paalakas and yuddha nipunata' and among them was the maha yashasvi Rajarshi Nimi was the outstanding. He built a famed Nimi Nagara on the banks of the Sacred Gautami River popular as 'Vijayanta' on the lines of Indra Puri itself. Then in due course of time, Nimi Chakravarti desired to perform such a maha yagina about with not only his praja by various other co- Kings and their prajaas too should speak high about. Thus having consulted his father another Manu Putra Ikshvaaku desired to invite the Raja Purohita the Brahmarshi shiromani Vasishtha as also Maharshis Atri, Angeera, and taponidhi Bhrigu too. Tamuvaacha Vashishthastu Nimim raajarshi sattamaam, vritoham purvamindrena anantaram pratipaalay/ Anantaram mahaa vipro Gautamah pratya puurayat, Vsishthopi maha tejaa Indra yagjnamathaakaret/ Then having been honoured by the recognition of King Nimi's kind invitation to preside over his maha yagjna, Brahmarshi Vasishtha explained that he had already been asked by Indra to preside over his maha yagina too, yet he could manage to reach at the appropriate time of King Nimi's 'maha purnaahuti' time, while the other prelimanaries could be pioneered and completed by Maharshis Atri, Angeera and Bhrigus. Thus Vasishta suggested to King Nimi. Accordingly, Nimi Rajarshi invited the brahmanottamaas apart from the ritviks. The main priests of Yagina Karyas are the Hota who recites the invocations especially of Rigveda; Atharvyu is responsible for the physical and material details of the yagina and an erudite of Yajurveda; Udgaata is the chief chanter of the suktas and specialist Saama Gaana and responsible for pressing the Soma juice. Besides these are Brahmanas as Agneedhi and Prashastar, besides Purohita of course. The Maha Yagjna was this initiated and was completed after taking Nimi's deeksha for five thousand years. Meanwhile, Brahmarshi Vasishtha having completed his responsibility at the Indra Yagina arrived quickly to catch up with the Hortu karma of Nimi Yagina. But he found that that responsibility was already completed by Gautama Maharshi. On noticing the hotru karya, Brahma kumara Vasishtha got upset and furious at Rajarshi got fatigued and half asleep. He shouted at the King: Yamaat tvamanya vritavaan maamavagjnaaya paarthiva, chetanena vinaabhuto dehaste paarthivaishyati/ Bhupaala Nime! You have knowingly offended me by approaching another purohita and hence may your physical body be fallen off though not your existence otherwise being a Videha! Then King Nimi having been awaken from the half sleep reailsed the intent of the shaapa relpied: Tasmaat tavaapi brahmarshe chetanena vinaakritah, dehaha sa suchirapraakhya bhavishtaya na samshayah/ Brahmarshi!May your body fall down senseless. This Nimi fell down without body and Vasishtha fell down senseless.

[Vishleshana a) on King Nimi and Brahmarshi Vasishtha vide Devi Bhagavata Purana and b) Nine Yogindras explain to Videha Nimi's spiritual enquiries

a) King Nimiof Ikshvasu dynasty was highly righteous and sought to perform a Maha Yagnya in the name of Devi Bhagavati; Sage Vasishtha who was the dynasty's Raja Guru agreed to be the Head Priest. At the arrived time when all the preparations were through, the Sage informed that Indra had called him too for a Sacrifice and sent word that King Nimi's Yagna be rescheduled. King Nimi went ahead with his function as per schedule. Vasishtha returned and cursed Nimi that his mortal body would fall off. The King gave a return curse likewise. But since Nimi's Yagna was not complete, he performed it as 'Videha' or without body as Lord Yama was pleased with the Sacrifice and gave him the option of another nice birth or enter

the first Jiva body of Brihaspati but the King chose the Videha option. Vasishtha had to pray to his father Brahma who arranged that he be reborn as **MitraVaruna**. In the past, Apsara Urvasi was infatuated by Mitra-Varuna and two issues were born, one was Agastya who became an ascetic and the other was Ikshvaku who became a King. Mitra Varuna's Jiva -body was still intact even before Brahma created original Vasishtha; the Jiva of the present Vasishtha now dropped as a return curse of King Nimi entered the duplicate body of Mitra Varuna without any loss of original Vasishtha's wisdom and Radiance!

b) Once Maharaja Nimi, son of Ikshvaku desired to perform a Sacrifice and requested Vasishtha to be the Head Priest, but Vasishtha was busy performing another Sacrifice for Indra and therefore asked Nimi to wait till he returned. But Nimi performed the Sacrifice without waiting for Vasishtha, who cursed Nimi, but Nimi too gave a curse to the Sage. As a result of the curses, both of them were dead, but as Mitra and Varuna desired Urvasi in lust and from their thoughts of lust revived Vasishtha. As regards, Nimi Maharaja, his body was preserved till the completion of the Sacrifice which was already in progress and once the Yagna was over, the Brahmanas requested Demi Gods to revive his body already preserved. Nimi did not opt for the revival of the physical body but his spiritual body continued to exist. It was that spirirual body of Nimi, known as King Videha (without physical Body) performed Soma-Yagnya and was blessed with the presence of Nine Yogindras viz. Kavi, Havir, Anthariksha, Prabuddha, Pippalayna, Havirhotra, Drumila, Chamasa and Karabhanjana. (Their lineage was: Swayambhu Manu or Priyamvrata-Agnidhara-Nabhi-Rishabhadeva considered as the Plenary expansion of Lord Narayana Himself- one hundred sons, headed by Bharata of Bharata Varsha fame, including the Nine Yogindras). The Nine Yogindras, who were highly learned in Spiritual Science preaching the path of attaining Absolute Truth travelling naked all over the Universe, explained the Principles of Seeking the Truth to King Nimi alias Videha and those who attended the Sacrifice. The pointed queries made to the Nine Yogindras by King Nimi (Videha) were: 1) What is the highest good? 2) What are the Principles of Dharma and the general inclinations conditioning human beings like 'Svabhava' (one' own nature or behavior), Acharya' (Tradition), Speech pattern and other lakshanas' (Traits) of Elevated human beings? 3) What is the external energy of Super Power? 4) How does one disassociate from Maya or Illusion? 5) How is a Brahmana (Devotee) identified? 6) What is 'Karma' (means of devotion) and its two major forms viz. materialists or Spiritual (Kamuka or seeking oriented and Nishkama or Oriented to Almighty only) 7) What are the various Incarnations /Extensions of God? 8) What is the destination of a non-devotee? 9) What are the ideal forms of worship suited to the four ages (Yugas)? Yogindras explained that relentless pursuit of material desires, arising out of ignorance and leading to fear as conditioned by one's own nature and nurture, tends to sideline or marginalise the Super Energy and Its Extension Forms or Incarnations aimed at the Four Yugas and even if a human being were to perform acts of devotional services these would invariably aim at desire-fulfilling ends and not Spiritually oriented. This vicious circle of cause and effect ought to be wrecked to yield to the path of Bhagavatha Dharma or the Discipline of Faith. Increase in the duration of devotional time, gradual detachment, and enhancement of Awareness of the Super Energy are the Golden Means required.]

Sarga Fifty Six and Fifty Seven

Brahma's varapraapti to King Nimi and Vasishta for Mitra-Varuna 's combined virility due to meeting Urvashi in a Kumbha- King Pururana of Ikshvakus-Vashishtha' new body in the eyes of Videaha Nimi.

Understandably, Lakshmana's curiosity was raised further and asked Shri Rama as to how the Brahmarshi Vasishtha and Rajarshi Nimi were able to regain their bodies with their bhoutika karmendriyas of Pancha Jnanendriyas viz. Ghrana-Rasa- Chakshu-Shrotra-Twak or smell, taste, see, hear and touch and Pancha Karmendriyas viz. nose-tongue- eyes- ears- skin respecively. Then Shri Rama explained that Maha Muni Vasishtha having lost his form was absorbed in vaayu swarupa and approached Brahma and informed of what all had informed. Swayambhu Brahma stated: *Mitravarumja teja aavisha twam mahaa yashah*, *ayonijastvam bhavitaa tatraapi dwijasattama, dharmena nahataa yuktah punareshyasi me vasham*/

Mahayashasvi dwija shreshtha, you may enter the ayonija swarupa of Mitra and Varuna and dharma yukta putra rupa and as such be eligible for the status of my son of a Prajapati. As Brahma solved the riddle of Brahmarshi like wise, Brahmarshi prostrated at the feet of Brahma Deva and having resumed the Vayu swarupa had approached the Mitra Deva and Varuna Deva where were administering at that same place as receiving the worship of Devas ar the same place. That was the time when Apsara shreshtha Urvasi was visiting along with her sakhiyaas precisely at that very place most coincidentally. That was the time when sundari Urvasi was fresh after bathing on ksheera saagara and Varuna in his mindset he felt attracted to her. He made advances to her and she replied with folded hands that Mitra Deva had already desired foi me. But Varuna was infatuated then by manmadha baanaas and was unable to resist his intense passion for the apsarasa kanya. Varunaswabraveed vaakyam kandarpa shara peeritah, idam tejahsamuttrakshey kumbhesmin deva nirmite/ Evamusttrujya sushreni twayyaham varavarbini, kritakaamobhivishyaami yadi necchhasi sangamam/ Agonised by the Manmadha then Varunadeva was unable to resist any further told the apsarasa that there was a deva nirmita kumbha right there and would like to deposit his 'veerya' right into it. Then Urvashi replied: Deva Varuna! Mitra Deva had already had similar 'kaama badha' and deposited his veerya too. Having so said the apsrara approached Mitra, who was terribly enraged and shouted on Urvashi: 'Duraachaarini! I had already invited you but you had again tempted another one too; my shaap would therefore be that you should be a human female for years together. Durbuddhe! you may be born therefore at as the temptress of Rajarshi Pururava the Budha putra. 'Then accordingly from Pururava- Urvasi samyoga then Ayu named putra was generated. After having been punished by Mitra Deva and having been wedded to Pururava on earth regained her apsarasatva subsequently.

[Vishleshanas: on creation of Agasthya and Vasishtha as brothers by MitraVaruna from Urvashi from Matsya Purana

Sage Narada enquired of Bhagavan Shankara about the origin of Agastya Muni and Vasishta. Maheswara explained tha once Indra despatched Vayu and Agni to destroy Danavas and having successfully killed thousands of the enemies, ignored some Daityas like Taraka, Kamalaaksha, Paravasu, Kaladamshtra and Virochana as they fled away and concealed in deep Seas. The Danavas who hid themselves kept on tormenting human beings as also Devatas eventually. Indra ordered that Vayu and Agni should dry up the Sea water, especially to kill dangerous Diatyas like Jambhasura, but the both the Devas argued that in the process of drying up the Seas even in a minor manner there would be serious havoc caused to crores of Jeevas. Indra was annoyed at their argument and cursed them to fall down on Earth from Swarga and both the Devas entered into a 'Jala Kumbha' or Water Pitcher as a single body. Meanwhile, Sages Nara and Narayana were in Tapasya on Gandhamadana Mountain, and Indra was concerned that they might not be a threat to his chair; he despatched a few Apsaras to the Mountain along with Kamadeva but their attempts to tempt the Maharshis failed. As the Apsaras continued to be stationed there, Narayana Rishi created a damsel of exquisite attraction from his thighs and named her Urvasi; he desired that Apsaras should realize that their beauty was nothing compared to whom they could materialise as Urvasi and they could not possibly tempt Nara Narayan Maharshis, after all! Mitra (Sun God) and Varuna (Rain God) happened to see the damsel and could not resist the fall of their combined semen of Mitravaruna which was deposited in the same Jala Kumbha (pitcher) that fell down from the Swarga and thus Agastya was born as Kumbha Sambhava. Vasishtha too was reborn from the pitcher earlier since he felt offended when King Nimi did not properly attend to him as he visited the King and hence gave a curse to Nimi to live as 'Videha' or without body, but the King too gave a return curse; both Nimi and Vasishtha approached Lord Brahma who solved the problem by retaining Nimi's life in his Eyes and Vasishtha to be reborn to Mitravaruna since the latter's semen fell in the pitcher on seeing Apsara Urvashi. Subsequently Agastya married Lopamudra, absorbed the entire Ocean in his Kamandulu to isolate the Danavas to enable Indra to kill the notorious Danavas and released it later as his urine and was thus stated to be salty!; he also razed down the ego of Vindhya Mountain by making him bend for ever thus banning the Mountain to stoop for ever till the Sage's return which never happened as he continued to stay down the

Vindhyas. There was also the legend attributed to Agastya about the Daitya brothers Ilvala and Vatapi, who knew the Mrita Sanjeevani Mantra; they would assume the forms of Brahmanas and seek the passers by to tempt them to a feast of goat-meat, and after consuming the meal ask Vatapi to come out and Vapati would come out piercing through the tummy of the stranger and the brothers would enjoy his meat.But Agastya Muni was too clever to bless the good food saying 'Vatapi! Jeerno bhava' and Vatapi was fully digested even before Ilvala was able to recite the Mrita Sanjeevani Mantra! (Till date, devotees recite Lalita Sahasranama and Aditya Hridaya scripted by Agastya Muni. Vasishtha, the Brahmarshi was the arch-enemy of Rajarshi Viwswamitra ever since the latter claimed Nandini the Celestial Cow and fought a battle in which Viswamitra was defeated. The enmity continued till once both the Rishis cursed each other to become birds and finally Brahma had to intervene and convert them back as human beings) Agastya Muni satisfied Maheswara with ruthless penance for several years and secured boons of longevity for twenty five crores of years as long as thousand lives of Brahmas. The boon also covered that whosoever worshipped him for seven days for seven years with 'Arghya' or offering water addressing the Muni along with charities of a white cow and calf, silver vessel, and white clothes as follows would be blessed with good health, good Form, and contentment: Kaashapushpa prateekaasha Agni Maruta Sambhava, Mitraavarunayoha putra kumbhayoney Namostutey/ The first Arghya would provide Good Form, the second one Bhuvarloka and the third Swarloka.]

Sarga Fifty Seven continued

Heartily contented about the erstwhile Ikshvaku Vamasa King Nimi, his maha yagina, Vasishtha purohita, their mutual shaapaas, Mitra Varuna janma, and Pururava janma as the next Ikshvaku King, Lakshmana got more and more curious and asked Shri Rama who in turn explained as follows: 'Raghushreshtha! As Mitra and Varuna Devatas combined veerya was collected in the kumbha and two maha tejasvi brahmanas emerged and both were suhsequently bacame Rishis. From the kumbha, Bhagavan Agastya emerged first but the one who emerged later denied that Mitra that he was not his son and walked off! Mitra's semen was set in the kumbha first, then was deposited that of Varuna and after some time elapsed Mitra Varuna's combined veerva came out as Vasishtha Mahamuni the subsequent Ilshvaku vamsha raja purohita. Soumya Lakshmana! Even well before King Ikshvaku's king ship, Brahmarshi Vaishtha was the Raja purohita [Brahma Purana stated that Vaivashva Manu had Ikshvaaku, Nabhaga, Dhrushta, Sharyaayi, Narishyanta, Praamshu, Arishta, Karusha and Prushajghna] But now, Brahmarshi Vasishtha having been reborn again, Nimi came to know of this new and latest development of Vasishtha's new and renewed birth. Lakshmana! Listen of this interesting development now:Raja Nimi being 'videha' still alive though not physically without panchendriyas but with mind and thinking capacity with praana the vital energy approached Manishi- Rishi and having requested him took deeksha for performing an yagina and completed it successfully. Having thus completed asked Bhrigu Maharshi who assured that he could revive his physical form once again. Nimi was excited and along with Bhrigu Maharshi, devaas too were pro-coperative. King Nimi was excited: Evamuktah Suraaih sarvairnimeschataabruvat,netreshu sarvabhitaanaam vaseya Surasattamaah/Baadhamityeva vibudhaa Nimeshchatatadaabruvan, netreshu sarva bhutaanaam Vaayubhutacharishyasi/ Tvatkrite cha Nimishyanti chakshuumshi Prithiveepate, vaayubhutena charataa vishraamaartham muhurmuhuh/ As devaas assured Videha Nimi at the instance of Bhrihu Maharshi, King Nimi was excited to vizualise 'samasta praaani koti' moving about. The assurance to the videha Nimi welcomed the devaas, who on their arrival helped the Videha Deha of the King and performed 'aarani mathana' or churning of fire sticks with appropriate vedic mantras with force. Mathanaanmithirityaarhurjjanaajjanakodbhavat, yasmaad videhaat sambhuto Vaidehastu tatah smitah/ Evam Videha raajascha Jaakah purvakobhavat, Mithisnaam mahaateejaastenaayam Mauthilobhavat/ As in the ancient past,' mantrokchaarana purvakahomaa', Nimi's 'putra utpatti mathana' began as in the past and Mithi was born. Lakshmana! Thus King Nimi of our Ikshvaaku vamsha too got perpetuated from king to king.' Thus Shri Rama explained the historic background of Ikshbaakku Raja parampara to Lakshmana as he was too curious to learn of Ikshvaaku Rajas who had in the past had rather disregarded wirh the 'praja vyavahaaraass' with their own pursuits.

Bhavishya Purana explains "After the Pralay in Treta Yuga, King Sudarshan returned from Himalaya and revived Avodhya Puri and thanks to the and the Holy Sages. King Sudarshan ruled for thousands of years and in course of Time, his son King Dilip initiated a new generation and King Raghu heralded the Surya Vamsha or the Raghu Vamsha. King Raghu's grandson Dasharatha had the unique privilege of securing Lord Shri Rama, the 'Avatar' of Bhagavan Vishnu. Surya Vamsa dominated from Shri Ram's son Kusha downward for hundreds of generations thereafter and the Kings were by and large virtuous, engaged in Yagnas and Agni Karyas, charities and the preservation of Dharma. Padma Purana is quoted: Vaiwasvata Manu had ten sons, viz. Ila, Ikshvaaku, Kushanaabha, Arishta, Dhrushta, arishyant, Karusha, Mahabali Sharyati, Prushaghna, Naabhaga and Ambarisha. By dint of relentless Tapasya, Vaivaswata secured the boon from Brahma of becoming the Supreme Administrator of Prithvi of high virtue and Fortune and thus he became the First Manu Ever! Ila also became ambitious and wandered several places and by mistake entered the 'Sharayana' Garden, little knowing that who ever entered the Sharayana would instantly turn into a woman as per the instructions of Parameswara where Shiva Deva was alone with Devi Parvati. Even outside the Sharavana, Ila as a woman was attracted to Budha, the son of Chandra (Moon). Ila's brother Ikshvaku was worried about the disappearance of Ila and having realised the fact that any male entering the Sharavana would be converted as a female and that Ila also would have been converted like wise. Ihshvaku prayed to Shiva and as directed Ihshvaku announced Ashvamedha Yagna so that Ila as a female could be identified since the brave Ila would be definitely attracted to the Ashvamedha Yagna and the challenge of holding the horse. Indeed the Plan of Ikshvaku worked well and Ila was identified as the 'wife' of Budha, the son of Chandra. The female Ila became a Kimpurush for six months and as a woman for six months as per the boon of Shiva. As a Kimpurush, Ila also known as Sudyumna gave birth to three sons Utkal, Gaya and Haritashwa and they became the Kings of Utkal (Orissa), Gaya, and Haritashwa or Kuru. Ikshvaku became the King of Madhyadesha who begot hundred sons half of whom ruled the northern side of Meru and the others the Southern side. Kakustha was the eldest son of Ikshvaku and in that lineage was born Yuvanashwa and his great grandson was the famed Kuvalashva who killed the notorious demon Dundhumara. It was in this lineage that the illustrious Mandhata who was the Chakravarti of the Universe.In his lineage were the famous Purukutsa, Muchukunda, Harischandra, Dilip, Bhagiratha who brought the Sacred Ganga to Earth, Nabhaga, Ambarisha, Raghu, Dasaratha and the Incarnation of Lord Vishnu, the Epic Hero Shri Rama who killed Ravanasura and his able brothers Bharata, Lakshmana and Shatrughna; the Surya Vamsha of the clan of Ikshvaku was further extended by Kusha and Lava. Brahma Purana states: Vaivaswa had nine sons viz. Ikshvaaku, Naabhaga, Dhrushta, Sharyaati, Narishyanta, Praamshu, Arishta, Karusha and Prushaghna. Once Vaivaswa performed one Yagna with the objective of begetting a daughter and Maharshi Mirtaavaruna was the Chief Priest; as the Maharshi offered a powerful oblation in the Agni Kunda, there emerged a maiden whom the Manu addressed as IIa and she took the permission of Matraavaruna and went near the Manu; the Manu blessed her, named her as Sudyumna and instructed her to expand Manu vamsha. She met Budha Deva in marriage and gave birth to **Puru**; she gave birth further to three sons viz. Utkal (whose Kingdom was the present Orissa), Gaya (the Capital of Gaya desha) and Vinataashva. Puru's Kingdom was distributed into parts to accommodate the nine sons too. Ikshvaaku became the Ruler of Madhyadesaha. Ila and Sudyumna was one and the same but alternatively as a woman and as a man for each six months. Naashyanta's son was Shaka; Nabhaaga begot Ambarisha; Dhrishta and Karusha begot sons of the same name; Pramshu was issueless; Sharyati got twin children-a boy named Anarta and a girl Sukanya who was wedded to Chyavana Maharshi. Anarta begot Raiva, and the latter's son was Raivata, also known as Kakudmi who became the King of Kushasthala. Once Raivata accompanied by his daughter Revati visited Brahma loka and the latter was at that time engrossed in 'Gandharva Gaana'/ the songs of Gandharva; after the singing session, Brahma when told of the purpose of their visit viz. to bless his daughter of a suitable match for her, Brahma smiled and stated that during his visit to Brahma loka, Yugas rolled by but blessed Revati to return to their place and that she would definitely wed a Mahatma.

On return, the father and daughter discovered a complete change of their Place in Dwapara Yuga and on making local enquiries found **Balarama**, the elder brother of Krishnaas a suitable life-partner for Devi Revati; thus the age-difference of Balarama and Devi Revati was a full Yuga!]

Sargas Fifty Eight and Fifty Nine

King Yayati's yagjna upset as Purohita Vasishtha was late-mutual 'shaapaas' as Yayati was bodiless and Vasishta was 'vayuvileena'- Brahma arranges that joint sperm of Mitra Varunas to revive Vasishta.

Lakshmana having heard Shri Rama's narration of how some of the Kings ticked off as in the case of Maharshis and faced consequences, Rama clarified that there were instances as to how even Shukracharya's caliber too hurled off shapaas to Kings of vitue too and cited the example of Nahushiputra Raja Yayati too for instance as that Raja had performed great service to his prajas always but had received considerable fame. Then he narrated the incident in detail to Lakshmana. 'King Yayati was married to Devi Sharmishtha whom he liked much due to her qualities of virtue despite her daitya parentage as her father was Vrishaparva daitya. He was also wedded to Devi Devayani, the daughter of Shukracharya the daitya guru. Sharmishtha's son was Puru while Devayani's son was Yadu. As the two sons of Yayati came of age, Yadu the son of Devayani one day complaned to his mother Devayani that the father Yayati was always attracted to Shramishtha who was recultant to develop nearness to Puru. Devayani too who had been noticing the differetial treatment meted to her had burst out in jealousy as contrary to the equal attention to both the queens. Reacting sharply to her son Yadu's remarks, Devayani got worked up violently ignited with extreme distrust cried out and having reached Yayati shouted at him threatening that she along with her son Yadu would jump in to 'agnijvaalas' as both were feeling that they were being maltreated. Yayati was stunned at such allegation that indeed he had been treating both the queens equitably and why this flare of terrible inferiority complex and flare up jealousy! He tried his very best to pacify Devayani but to no avail as she kept on howling. Then as she desired, Devayani's father Shuracharya appeared on the scene and asked Devayani as to what was the matter! She replied in extreme raje as her body was shiverong with anger and anguish: Muni Shreshtha father! I feel like jumping into agni jwaalaas or leap into endless ocean depths and die atonce as my husband would care a speck for me as he is deeply enamored and infatuated with his co wife. You cannot even imagine as by dear son too had been feeling miserable and is seeking to accopmany me in my jumps into fiery flames or deep oceans. Having heard his dear daugher's 'akrandanaas', Shukrachara had reeled off his anger: Yasmaanmaama jaanoshe Naahusha twam duraatmacaan, yayasaa jarayaa jeernah shaithilyamupayaasyasi/ Nahusha Kumara! As you have proved your self, may your body be crumbled to 'vriddhapya' as with a tattered body!'. So saying Daitya Guru Shukraachatya left in anger.

Sarga Fifty Nine continued:

As Shukracharya gave the shaapa to his own son in law, King Yayati was stunned. Then he askedYadu who too was with Devayani along with Yadu requested: Yadu my son! You are a dharma jnaata. Is it not possible for you to take over my 'vaardhyka dasha' for a few years and surely I would be able to repay you eventually. I am still in my middle age still fond of 'vishaya vaancchhas' as you could take over my 'vriddhhapya' for now as you have a considereble life ahead. The ever cunning Yadu repied: Pita shri! You may perhaps approach your much dearer putrashri Puru. Then King Yayati approached Puru with a similar request and Puru replied most politely: 'Dhanyosmyanugruheetosmi tava sthitah/ Respected father! By performing this small and negligible duty should be carried out comfortably'. Then Yayati was truly pleased wherafter Yayati performed sahasra yagjnas and ruled over the kingdom for thousand years. Thereafter one day King Yayati called Puru and said: Pratisschaasmi maha baaho shasavasya pratigrihaat, tvaam chaahamabhishekshyaami preetiyukto naraadhipam/ Evamuktvaa sutum purum tyayaatirnahushaatmajah, Devayaaniik sutam kruddho Rajaa vaakyamuvaachah/ Rakshstvam mayaa jaatah kshatrarupo duraasadah, pratihamsi mamaaginaam tvam prajaarthe viphalobhava/ Maha baho

Puru! you had literally followed my instructions for which I am extremely pleased. I am hereby performing your rajyaabhisheka!' Then calling Yadu, Yayati shouted angrily: I had made fun of my having been turned to old age. You may now forget fulfillment of your ambition to kingship and not even your progeny. I am your father, your guru too yet you had severely made fun of me; now you would be born as a bhayankara rakshsa and your progeny too would be ungrateful to you far worse than yourself. Thereafter, Yayati having lived for long left for swarga loka. Later Puru shifted his rajadhani to Kashirajya Pratishthanapura while Yadu wandered in krounchavana.

[Vishkeshana on Yayaati from a)Maha Bhagavata Purana and b) Devi Bhagavata Purana

- a) Yayati, the son of Nahusha became the King as Nahusha was transformed into a python due to his Maharashi's shaapaas for his arrogance. Yayāti's elder brother, Yati, was initially given the kignship but took to sanyaasashrama and Yayayati as a king considerable public appreciation. Eventually one day, Sharmishtha, daughter of the Danava Vishwaparva, and Devayani, daughter of Daitya Guru Shukracharya were bathing in a sarovara of the kingdom. After bathing, Sharmishtha confuses Devayani's vastras by mistake exchanged. Devayani returned and shouted while jibing at their parentships as Sharmishtha as the daughter of Shukracharya and Vrishparva as their King. With the help of her servants, Sharmishtha threw the semi naked Devayani into a well. Later Yayati, son of Nahusha, helped Devayani to climb out of it. Eventually Yayati was facinated to both Sharmishtha and Devayani and their respetive fathers agreed. In due course, Devayani gave birth to two sons Yadu and Turvasu while Sharmishtha begot three sons Druhyu, Anu and Puru. In due course mutual jealousies and quarrels got intensified. Eventually Devayani felt that that her husband more ad more of time with Sharmishtha and complains to her father. The enraged Shkracharya cursesd Yayati with premature old age in punishment for inflicting such pain upon his daughter. Eventually Yayati asked to let one of the sons to agree to swap his old age while Yadu heckled at the request while Puru assured of his filial duty and agreed heartily. Yayati enjoyed the youth and attained swarga but cursed adu and made Pura the next King.
- b) Sukracharya cursed King Yayati. The Sage's daughter Devayani married the King but objected to live with his another wife Sarmishtha but still the King did not comply. The father of Devayani Sukracharya cursed that Yayati would become old and impotent. As the King entreated for forgiveness, the Sage's curse was diluted that if any of his sons could take the position of Yayati's old form instead, then he could regain his youth. The youngest son of Sarmishtha, Puru who bore his father's curse and after Yayati, he became a youthful King, the ancestor of Panadavas and Kauravas. Veda Vyasa affirmed that being an upright King, Yayati was also in a position to reverse the curse of the Danava Guru but restrained from doing so and quietly conceded to assume the old age as after all he did not commit a great sin in asking his another wife Sarmishtha to bed; equally wonderful was the preparedness of Puru to take on the curse of the Sage and sacrificed his own youth for thousand years!]

Sargas Sixty and Sixty One

Maha Muni Chyavana and followers reach Shri Rama Praja Sabha explaining about the 'atyaachaaraas' on the praja and dharmatmas by Lavanasura by misusing a 'shula' as gifed by Shiva to his devoted father

Tataḥ sumantras tv āgamya rāghavam vākyam abravīt, ete nivāritā rājan dvāri tiṣṭhanti tāpasāḥ/bhārgavam cyavanam nāma puraskṛtya maharṣayaḥ, darśanam te mahārāja codayanti kṛtatvarāḥ, prīyamāṇā naravyāghra yamunātīravāsinaḥ/tasya tadvacanam śrutvā rāmaḥ provāca dharmavit-praveśyantām mahātmāno bhārgavapramukhā dvijāḥ/rājñas tv ājñām puraskṛtya dvāḥstho mūrdhni kṛtāñjaliḥ, praveśayām āsa tatas tāpasān sammatān bahūn/śatam samadhikam tatra dīpyamānam svatejasā, praviṣṭam rājabhavanam tāpasānām mahātmanām/te dvijāḥ pūrṇakalaśaiḥ sarvatīrthāmbu satkṛtam, gṛhītvā phalamūlam ca rāmasyābhyāharan bahu/pratigṛhya tu tat sarvam rāmaḥ prītipuraskṛtaḥ, tīrthodakāni sarvāṇi phalāni vividhāni ca/uvāca ca mahābāhuḥ sarvān eva mahāmunīn,

imāny āsanamukhyāni yathārham upaviśyatām/ rāmasya bhāṣitam śrutvā sarva eva maharṣayaḥ, bṛsīṣu rucirākhyāsu niṣeduḥ kāñcanīṣu te/ upaviṣṭān rṣīms tatra dṛṣṭvā parapuramjayaḥ/ prayataḥ prāñjalir bhūtvā rāghavo vākyam abravīt/ kim āgamanakāryam vaḥ kim karomi tapodhanāḥ, ājñāpyo 'ham maharṣīṇām sarvakāmakaraḥ sukham/ idam rājyam ca sakalam jīvitam ca hṛdi sthitam, sarvam etad dvijārtham me satyam etad bravīmi vaḥ/ tasya tadvacanam śrutvā sādhuvādo mahān abhūt, rṣīṇām ugratapasām yamunātīravāsinām/ ūcuś ca te mahātmāno harṣeṇa mahatānvitāḥ, upapannam naraśreṣṭha tavaiva bhuvi nānyataḥ/ bahavaḥ pārthivā rājann atikrāntā mahābalāḥ, kāryagauravam aśrutvā pratijñām nābhyarocayan/ tvayā punar brāhmaṇagauravād iyam; kṛtā pratijñā hy anavekṣya kāraṇam, kuruṣva kartā hy asi nātra samśayo; mahābhayāt trātum rṣīms tvam arhasi/

Bruvadbhir evam rsibhih kākutstho vākyam abravīt, kim kāryam brūta bhavatām bhayam nāśayitāsmi vah/ tathā vadati kākutsthe bhārgavo vākyam abravīt--- bhayam nah sṛnu yan mūlam desasya ca nareśvara/ pūrvam kṛtayuge rāma daiteyaḥ sumahābalaḥ, lolāputro 'bhavaj jyestho madhur nāma mahāsurah/ brahmanyaś ca śaranyaś ca buddhyā ca parinisthitah, suraiś ca paramodāraih prītis tasvātulābhavat/ sa madhur vīrvasampanno dharme ca susamāhitah, bahumānāc ca rudrena dattas tasyādbhuto varaļ/ śūlam śūlād viniskrsya mahāvīryam mahāprabham, dadau mahātmā suprīto vākyam caitad uvāca ha/ tvayāyam atulo dharmo matprasādāt kṛtaḥ śubhaḥ, prītyā paramayā yukto dadāmy āyudham uttamam/ yāvat suraiś ca vipraiś ca na virudhyer mahāsura, tāvac chūlam tavedam syād anyathā nāśam āpnuyāt/ yaś ca tvām abhiyuñjīta yuddhāya vigatajvarah, tam śūlam bhasmasāt kṛtvā punar eşyati te karam/ evam rudrād varam labdhvā bhūya eva mahāsurah, pranipatya mahādevam vākvam etad uvāca ha/ bhagavan mama vamšasva śūlam etad anuttamam, bhavet tu satatam deva surāṇām īśvaro hy asi/tam bruvāṇam madhum devaḥ sarvabhūtapatiḥ śivaḥ, pratyuvāca mahādevo naitad evam bhavisyati/ mā bhūt te viphalā vānī matprasādakrtā śubhā, bhavatah putram ekam tu śūlam etad gamisyati/ yāvat karasthah śūlo 'yam bhavisyati sutasya te, avadhyah sarvabhūtānām śūlahasto bhavisyati/ evam madhur varam labdhvā devāt sumahad adbhutam, bhavanam cāsuraśresthah kārayām āsa suprabham/ tasya patnī mahābhāgā priyā kumbhīnasī hi yā, viśvāvasor apatyam sā hy analāyām mahāprabhā/ tasyāh putro mahāvīryo lavaņo nāma dāruņah, bālyāt prabhṛti duṣṭātmā pāpāny eva samācarat/ tam putram durvinītam tu drstvā duhkhasamanvitah, madhuh sa śokam āpede na cainam kim cid abravīt/ sa vihāva imam lokam pravisto varunālavam, śūlam niveśva lavane varam tasmai nyavedayat/ sa prabhāvena śūlasya daurātmyenātmanas tathā, samtāpayati lokāms trīn viśeṣeṇa tu tāpasān/ evamprabhāvo lavanah śūlam caiva tathāvidham, śrutvā pramānam kākutstha tvam hi nah paramā gatih/ bahavah pārthivā rāma bhayārtair rsibhih purā, abhayam yācitā vīra trātāram na ca vidmahe/ te vayam rāvanam śrutvā hatam sabalavāhanam, trātāram vidmahe rāma nānyam bhuvi narādhipam, tat paritrātum icchāmo lavanād bhayapīditāh/

As Shri Rama explained to Lakshmana about the utmost importance of an ideal kingship by always keeping a pulse on the opinions of common 'prajaas' and cited the lapses or successes in this context with special reference to Ikshvaaku vamsha, and had since convened the regular 'praja sabha' as representing a cross section of the Kingdom. In one such a sabha, one day arrived Bhrigu Putra Chyavana Muni. The Maha Muni entered the Raja Sabha along with over hundred tapasvi Munis too. They gifted huge pots of 'maha punya nadi jalaas' and abundant 'phala-pushpa-kandamuulas' to the King and prajas. In turn King Rama gifted vastras-shawls-and priceless aabharanas to their respective strees, vidyardhis and their ashrama vaasis in profusion. Later on after exchange of mutual pleasantries, Rama asked Maha Muni Chyavana had pleasantly enquired: kim āgamanakāryam vaḥ kim karomi tapodhanāh, ājñāpyo 'ham maharşīṇām sarvakāmakaraḥ sukham/ idam rājyam ca sakalam jīvitam ca hṛdi sthitam, sarvam etad dvijārtham me satyam etad bravīmi vaļ/ tasya tadvacanam śrutvā sādhuvādo mahān abhūt, ṛṣīṇām ugratapasām yamunātīravāsinām/ Maharshis! Kindly inform us whether there might be a specific service which on behalf my kingdom that I might possibly performed! In fact, our entire kingdom is dedicated to dharma karyas and dharmaginaas like you and these are not stated by lips but would be performed by our 'hridaya poorvaka baahu pada balaas'! As King Rama assured in that manner, Bhrigu putra Chyavana Maha Muni was pleased and so werr the follower Muni janaas too. ūcuś ca te mahātmāno

harṣṇa mahatānvitāḥ, upapannam naraśreṣṭha tavaiva bhuvi nānyataḥ/bahavaḥ pārthivā rājann atikrāntā mahābalāḥ, kāryagauravam aśrutvā pratijñām nābhyarocayan/tvayā punar brāhmaṇa - gauravād iyam; kṛtā pratijñā hy anavekṣya kāraṇam, kuruṣva kartā hy asi nātra samśayo; mahābhayāt trātum ṛṣīms tvam arhasi/Chyavana Muni then replied: 'Narashreshtha! Trust me to say that in the entire bhumandala we are over last refuge, and none else indeed. We had been visiting a series of other rajyas but having heard as to what was expected of us had never responded positively, much less re-assuringly! But we are all confident that you should be most certainly done with positive result and success.

[Vishleshana on Maharshi Chyavana a) Maha Bhagavata Purana and b) Chyavana's encounter with Parrot Kunjal

a) Manu Vivaswanta gave birth to ten sons including Ikshvaku, Saryati, Nabhaga and Prushaghna. Saryati gave birth to Sukanya. The latter when she came of age visited a forest once along with her companions and playfully prierced into a bush while amused about what she thought were glowing worms. But they were actually the eyes of a Muni named Chyavana performing Tapas with eyes wide open and in the process got blinded. The girl got confused when blood oozed out from the bush and ran away. The blinded Muni realised that a young princess did the indiscretion and gave a Shaap that the entire military force of the King should suffer with stoppage of their excretions. Meanwhile Sukanya conveyed to the King of her playful rashness and of the Muni's shaap. King Saryati along with Sukanya approached the Muni and prostrated to him seeking unreserved pardon; the King offered the young Sukanya to wed the old Muni so that she could serve the Muni in his blindness. In course of time, Sukanya got used to family life serving the blind Muni in his daily puja and other chores. She excelled herself in her 'Pativratya' or undisputed devotion to her husband. One day, the two Ashvini Kumars who were the Physicians of Devas passed by the Ashram of Chyavana Muni and were highly impressed with the selfless and ideal service being performed by Sukanya as an example of Pativratya. They cured the Muni's blindness and the grateful Chyavana offered a boon to the Ashvini Kumars. The latter desired that they would like to have access to 'Amrit' which was provided to Devas but was denied to them. Chyavana Muni made a request to Indra but he refused. The Muni took up this as an insult to him and performed an elaborate Yagna an favour of Brahma Deva and the latter who was pleased by the Muni's Yagna instructed Ashvini Kumars to accord the same status to Devas and thus have access to the drink of Amrita eversince.

b)Sage Chyavan of Bhargava Vamsha undertook an extensive 'Tirtha Yatra' (religious tour) visiting Sacred Places of Worship nearby the Holy Rivers Narmada, Sarasvati and Godavari. He reached Omkareshwar Tirtha and having taken bath and worship, rested under a tree on the banks of the Tirtha; he overheard the conversation of a Parrot named Kunjal with its sons viz. Ujjwal, Samujjwal, Vijjval and Kapinjal. The Sage learnt from the conversation of Kunjal and sons that they were ardent devotees and that Kunjal was a highly enlightened bird. By the evening there was a family union of the parrots for food and rest in their nest over the tree, under which the Sage sat. As Kunjal desired to recite Stories to them, the elder son Ujjwal asked the father to explain about Gyan (Enlightenment), followed by Dhyaan (meditation), Vratas (Conducted Worships), Punya (The fruits of Good Works) and hundred names of Bhagavan. About Gyan, Kunjal explained that there was a State of Bliss called Kaivalya or Moksha which was a Unique Form of Extreme Happiness devoid of 'Duhkha' or Sorrow, unreachable by normal vision or feeling. The Bird said: Yatha deepo nivaasastho nischalo Vaayuvarjitah, Prajjvalan-naashayet sarvamandhakaaram mahaamatye/ taddosha viheenatma bhavatyeva niraashraah/ (Such Kaivalya State of Gyaanatma which is spotless, steady and holdless is like a lustrous mass of Lamp which wipes out darkness around). That luminosity is the stable origin of Universal Existence called 'Atma' or the Super Soul which has no friend or enemy, no pleasure nor grief and no attachment nor greed. The Soul is devoid of senses, feelings, impulses and reactions. The awareness of that Singular Super Soul is Gyana. Now Dhyana is the meditation of that Super Soul known by countless names and epithets and is in either 'Niraakara' Form or 'Akaara' Form. 'Nirakara Dhyana' is possible only to Yogis who could visualise the

Abstract Form through the Vision of Gyana. The 'Saakara Rupa' assumes Human Form with recognisable limbs; for instance Bhagavan Vishnu is easily identified with four arms with Shankhu, Chakra, Gada and Saranga with golden head gear and silk dress etc.and facilitates Dhayana. Vratas are formatted worships as per the Deity targetted, the specific day as scheduled according to Maasa- Paksha- Tithi- Vaara-Nakshatra and as configured. For instance Vratas like Jaya, Vijaya, Papanashini, Jayanti, and Manoraksha Vratas are executed on Ekadashi / Dwadashi days; there are also regular Vratas like Krishnashtami which are of repetitive nature. There are innumerable Vratas observed all over Bharat as per specified formats and each one of these has far reaching impact in diminishing the burden of sins and improving the 'Punya' Accounts].

Sarga Sixty One to follow:

As Shri Rama enquired of the 'kaarya vivarana' for which Chyavana Maha Muni had arrived with co Munis, Chyavana explained: In the Samuchi desha there had been a severe problem and explained as follows: In the Satya Yuga of the remote past, there was a buddhimaan daitya who was vipra bhaka and 'sharanaagata vatsala' ever engaged in 'dharmaanushthaana' and a renowned Shiva bhakta. Bhagavan Parama Shiva was pleased with his bhakti and gifted a 'shakti shaali shula' stating that he could possess with him for self defence and as long as it should not be utilised against brahmana- devataas; Bhagavan Shiva further asserted that he could destroy all his enemies and get back to him. Then the daitya sought a further request to Bhagavan that the shula be given to his putra and he consented. Subsequently the asura shreshtha named Madhu got a gigantic sundara bhavana and started living with a Mahaprabha Kumbhanasi the daughter of Vishvaavasu lineage. tasyāḥ putro mahāvīryo lavaṇo nāma dāruṇaḥ, bālyāt prabhṛti duṣṭātmā pāpāny eva samācarat/ taṁ putraṁ durvinītaṁ tu dṛṣṭvā duḥkhasamanvitaḥ, madhuḥ sa śokam āpede na cainam kim cid abravīt/ sa vihāya imam lokam pravisto varunālayam, śūlam niveśya lavane varam tasmai nyavedayat/Madhu's son was Lavana a ruthless 'bhayankara dushtatma' unpopular as a born sinner. Madhu was truthfully seething ever with anger, anguish and hatred. Then finally Raja Madhu being unble to control the ever multiplying complaints of his prajaas had left to kingdom to its degenerated goings on and started liking in the subterrain samudrra. .sa prabhāvena śūlasya daurātmyenātmanas tathā, samtāpayati lokāms trīn višeseņa tu tāpasān/evamprabhāvo lavaņaḥ śūlam caiva tathāvidham, śrutvā pramāṇam kākutstha tvam hi naḥ paramā gatiḥ/ As of now, Shri Rama! Lavanasura happened to retain the 'Maha Shula' accomplished from Maha Deva which was invincible.' Shri Rama had patiently heard from Chavana Maha Muni. The Muni further stated: bahavaḥ pārthivā rāma bhayārtair ṛṣibhiḥ purā, abhayam yācitā vīra trātāram na ca vidmahe/ te vayam rāvaṇam śrutvā hatam sabalavāhanam, trātāram vidmahe rāma nānyam bhuvi narādhipam, tat paritrātum icchāmo lavanād bhayapīditāh/Shri Rama! Even since for long times these severely affected Munis now with me had been tapping countless kings so far and now reached you for decisive action. We all pray you to save from the Lavanasura's ever increasing atyaachaaraas on the munis, brahmanas and the rest of the sections of the kingdom too!

Sargas Sixty Two-Three-and Four

Having enquired of Chyavanaadi Munis about details of misdeeds about Lavanaasura, Rama selected Shatrughna to destroy him, briefing him of minute details and facilitated him with Ayodhya Sena

Tathokte tān ṛṣīn rāmaḥ pratyuvāca kṛtāñjaliḥ, kimāhāraḥ kimācāro lavaṇaḥ kva ca vartate/ rāghavasya vacaḥ śrutvā ṛṣayaḥ sarva eva te, tato nivedayām āsur lavaṇo vavṛdhe yathā/ āhāraḥ sarvasattvāni viśeṣeṇa ca tāpasāḥ, ācāro raudratānityam vāso madhuvane sadā/ hatvā daśasahasrāṇi simhavyāghramṛgadvipān, mānuṣāmś caiva kurute nityam āhāram āhnikam tato 'parāṇi sattvāni khādate sa mahābalaḥ, samhāre samanuprāpte vyāditāsya ivāntakaḥ/ tac chrutvā rāghavo vākyam uvāca sa mahāmunīn, ghātayiṣyāmi tad rakṣo vyapagacchatu vo bhayam/ tathā teṣām pratijñāya munīnām ugratejasām, sa bhrātṣn sahitān sarvān uvāca raghunandanaḥ/ ko hantā lavaṇam vīrāḥ kasyāmśaḥ sa

vidhīyatām, bharatasya mahābāhoḥ śatrughnasyāthavā punaḥ/ rāghaveṇaivam uktas tu bharato vākyam abravīt, aham enam vadhiṣyāmi mamāmśaḥ sa vidhīyatām/ bharatasya vacaḥ śrutvā śauryavīrya - samanvitam, lakṣmaṇāvarajas tasthau hitvā sauvarṇam āsanam/ śatrughnas tv abravīd vākyam praṇipatya narādhipam, kṛtakarmā mahābāhur madhyamo raghunandanaḥ/ āryeṇa hi purā śūnyā ayodhyā rakṣitā purī, samtāpam hṛdaye kṛtvā āryasyāgamanam prati/ duḥkhāni ca bahūnīha anubhūtāni pārthiva, śayāno duḥkhaśayyāsu nandigrāme mahātmanā/ phalamūlāśano bhūtvā jaṭācīradharas tathā, anubhūyedṛśam duḥkham eṣa rāghavanandanaḥ, preṣye mayi sthite rājan na bhūyaḥ kleśam āpnuyāt/ tathā bruvati śatrughne rāghavaḥ punar abravīt, evam bhavatu kākutstha kriyatām mama śāsanam/ rājye tvām abhiṣekṣyāmi madhos tu nagare śubhe, niveśaya mahābāho bharatam yady avekṣase/ śūras tvam kṛtavidyaś ca samarthaḥ samniveśane, nagaram madhunā juṣṭam tathā janapadāñ śubhān/ yo hi vamśam samutpāṭya pārthivasya punaḥ kṣaye, na vidhatte nṛpam tatra narakam sa nigacchati/ sa tvam hatvā madhusutam lavaṇam pāpaniścayam, rājyam praśādhi dharmeṇa vākyam me yady avekṣase/ uttaram ca na vaktavyam śūra vākyāntare mama, bālena pūrvajasyājñā kartavyā nātra samśayaḥ/ abhiṣekam ca kākutstha pratīcchasva mayodyatam/ vasiṣṭhapramukhair viprair vidhimantrapuraskṛtam/

Evam uktas tu rāmeņa parām vrīdām upāgatah, śatrughno vīryasampanno mandam mandam uvāca ha/ avaśyam karaṇīyam ca śāsanam puruṣarṣabha, tava caiva mahābhāga śāsanam duratikramam, ayam kāmakaro rājams tavāsmi purusarsabha/ evam ukte tu śūrena śatrughnena mahātmanā, uvāca rāmah samhrsto laksmanam bharatam tathā/ sambhārān abhisekasya ānayadhyam samāhitāh, adyaiva puruşavyāghram abhişekşyāmi durjayam/ purodhasam ca kākutsthau naigamān rtvijas tathā, mantriņas caiva me sarvān ānayadhvam mamājñayā/ rājñaḥ śāsanam ājñāya tathākurvan mahārathāḥ, abhiṣeka samārambham puraskṛtya purodhasam, praviṣṭā rājabhavanam puramdaragṛhopamam/ tato 'bhiṣeko vavrdhe śatrughnasya mahātmanah, sampraharsakarah śrīmān rāghavasya purasya ca/ tato 'bhisiktam śatrughnam ankam āropya rāghavah, uvāca madhurām vānīm tejas tasvābhipūravan/ avam śaras tv amoghas te divyah parapuramjayah, anena lavanam saumya hantāsi raghunandana/ sṛṣṭah śaro 'yam kākutstha yadā śete mahārnave, svayambhūr ajito devo yam nāpaśyan surāsurāh/ adrśyah sarva bhūtānām tenāyam hi śarottamaḥ, sṛṣṭaḥ krodhābhibhūtena vināśārtham durātmanoḥ,madhukaiṭabhayor vīra vighāte vartamānayoh/ srastukāmena lokāms trīms tau cānena hatau vudhi, anena saramukhvena tato lokām's cakāra sah/ nāvam mayā sarah pūryam rāvanasya vadhārthinā, muktah satrughna bhūtānām mahāms trāso bhaved iti/yac ca tasya mahac chūlam tryambakeṇa mahātmanā, dattam śatruvināśāya madhor āyudham uttamam/ tat samniksipya bhavane pūjyamānam punah punah, diśah sarvāh samālokya prāpnoty āhāram ātmanah/ yadā tu yuddham ākānksan kaś cid enam samāhvayet, tadā śūlam grhītvā tad bhasma raksah karoti tam/ sa tvam purusaśārdūla tam āyudhavivarjitam, apravistapuram pūrvam dvāri tistha dhṛtāyudhah/ apravistam ca bhavanam yuddhāya purusarsabha, āhvayethā mahābāho tato hantāsi rākṣasam/ anyathā kriyamāṇe tu avadhyaḥ sa bhaviṣyati, yadi tv evam kṛte vīra vināśam upayāsyati/ etat te sarvam ākhyātam śūlasya ca viparyayam, śrīmataḥ śitikaṇṭhasya kṛtyam hi duratikramam/

Evam uktvā tu kākutstham praśasya ca punaḥ punaḥ, punar evāparam vākyam uvāca raghunandanaḥ/
imāny aśvasahasrāṇi catvāri puruṣarṣabha, rathānām ca sahasre dve gajānām śatam eva ca/
antarāpaṇavīthyaś ca nānāpaṇyopaśobhitāḥ, anugacchantu śatrughna tathaiva naṭanartakāḥ/ hiraṇyasya
suvarṇasya ayutam puruṣarṣabhac gṛhītvā gaccha śatrughna paryāptadhanavāhanaḥ/ balam ca
subhṛtam vīra hṛṣṭapuṣṭam anuttamam, sambhāṣya sampradānena rañjayasva narottama/ na hy arthās
tatra tiṣṭhanti na dārā na ca bāndhavāḥ, suprīto bhṛtyavargas tu yatra tiṣṭhati rāghava/ ato hṛṣṭajanākīrṇām prasthāpya mahatīm camūm, eka eva dhanuṣpānis tad gaccha tvam madhor vanam/ yathā tvām na
prajānāti gacchantam yuddhakānkṣiṇam, lavaṇas tu madhoḥ putras tathā gaccher aśankitaḥ/ na tasya
mṛtyur anyo 'sti kaścid dhi puruṣarṣabha darśanam yo 'bhigaccheta sa vadhyo lavaṇena hi/ sa grīṣme
vyapayāte tu varṣarātra upasthite, hanyās tvam lavaṇam saumya sa hi kālo 'sya durmateḥ/ maharṣīms tu
puraskṛtya prayāntu tava sainikāḥ, yathā grīṣmāvaśeṣeṇa tareyur jāhnavījalam/ tataḥ sthāpya balam
sarvam nadītīre samāhitaḥ, agrato dhanuṣā sārdham gaccha tvam laghuvikrama/ evam uktas tu rāmeṇa
śatrughnas tān mahābalān, senāmukhyān samānīya tato vākyam uvāca ha/ ete vo gaṇitā vāsā yatra yatra
nivatsyatha, sthātavyam cāvirodhena yathā bādhā na kasya cit/ tathā tāms tu samājñāpya niryāpya ca

mahad balam, kausalyām ca sumitrām ca kaikeyīm cābhyavādayat/ rāmam pradakṣiṇam krtvā śirasābhipraṇamya ca, rāṇeṇa cābhyanujñātaḥ śatrughnaḥ śatrutāpanaḥ/ lakṣmaṇam bharatam caiva praṇipatya krtāñjaliḥ, purodhasam vasiṣṭham ca śatrughnaḥ prayatātmavān, pradakṣiṇam atho krtvā nirjagāma mahābalaḥ/

As Maha Munis led by Bhrigu Putra Chyavana described about the Lavanaasura, Shri Rama asked them as to what were the 'ahaara aachaara vyavahaaraas', then they replied that Lavana was fond of humans especially of the raw flesh of Munis. His 'aachara vyavaharaas' were full of cruelty, brutallity and horror. He would normally reside in Madhuvanaas. He could daily kill thousands of simha-vyaaghra-mrigapakshi-manuhyas. At his hungry times, he would stand ready to attack like Yama Raja and whatever would be handy.' Then Rama assured the Muni ganaas to get concerened any further and to be freed of praana bhaya any further. Then he asked his brothers as to who could kill and free from the menace of Lavanaasra forthwith. He smiled and asked Bhrata or Shatrughna! Bharata had readily replied: respected brother Shri Rama! I should most certainly kill Lavanaasura with ease and as such my share be kindly reserved. Then Shatrughna jumped up from his throne and said: 'Already my middle brother Yashasvi Lakshmana had performed too many rakshasa samhaaraas to his massive credit. As far brother Bharata was concerned he should have been tired off all these years what with having missed Rama, the unending misery there of quite apart from the even demanding responsibility of administering the Ayodhya Maha Raiva. As such, may I be entrusted with this task of destroying the Nishachara Lavanaasura.' Then King Shri Rama ageed to Shatrughna's volunteering to take up the task and smilingly declared: 'Dear Shatrughna, my youngest dear brother! 'Be it so as you have volunteered. Once you would get rid of this Lavanaasura, I would entrust the responsibility of Kingship of Madhu Nagara on the banks of the ever Sacred River Yamuna. I would not be interested in destroying Madhara Nagara and annex that kingdom as that kind of action would be blame worthy and immoral attracting naraka loka nivasa. On your killing Lavnaasura which you are blessed most certainly with, while then Mahatma Raja Purohita and brahmana brindaas would perform your Rajyaabhisheka straight away.

Stanzas of Sarga Sixty Three as followed:

As Shri Rama addressed Shatrughna to assure rajyabhisheka to him for killing Lavanasura, the latter felt too shy and replied: Kakutsa Nareshwara! I am not only feeling embarassed but also feel that my words might be improper and ill justified by the norms of dharma and nyaaya. Yet I could not defy your ruling. Veera! your words would be those of veda shasanaas. Actually I should not have offered myself as elders might take my egoistic words to be of bravado. But now what all had been stated ought to be obeyed and complied with'. As Shatrughna stated thus, Rama was truly impressed and pleased. Then he asked Lakshmana to have the rajyaabhisheja saamagri assuring that he would have the Shatrughnaa's rajaabhisheka performed. He also instructed Purohita, vaidika vidwans, and an advance alert to the pura vaasis. Then Shatrugna's rajyaabhisheka got initiated and smasta pura vaasis were excited to participate. The scene was reminded of Devas led by Indra peformed Maha Skanda's 'Deva senapatitva'. Then Devis Kousalya, Sumatra and Kaikeyi were blissful. As Shatrughna's rajyabhishaka was on progress then Yamuna teera vasis were assured that Duratma Lavaasura was already killed by Shatrughna. Following the abhisheka, Shri Rama addressed Shatrughna: 'Soumya! I am herewith blessing you with a divya maha baana with which Lavanaasura would be destroyed with for ever. adrsyah sarva -bhūtānām tenāyam hi śarottamah, srstah krodhābhibhūtena vināśārtham durātmanoh, madhukaitabhayor vīra vighāte vartamānayoh/ srastukāmena lokāms trīms tau cānena hatau yudhi, anena śaramukhyena tato lokāms cakāra saḥ/Recall that in the remote past, the ever invincible Maha Vishnu relaxing on the Kshera Sagara while none of devaas and other celestials could vision them ever as Maharnava shaayi. When Madhu Kaitabhas were killed by a single arrow in the context of Hayagriva Swarupa and theafter sarva loka rachana was initiated.' This indeed that very ayudha!

[Vishleshana on Madhu Kaitabhaas vide Devi BhagavataPurana:

When Maha Vishnu was in Yoga Nidra in a comfortable posture of lying on the bed of Ananta Naga, two Demon brothers named Madhu and Kaitabha were born from the wax of Maha Vishnu's ears. Their birth was a mystery and unknown as felt by the brothers themselves whose physical forms grew fast and strong day by day, even as they were playing in the ocean surroundings, killing various kinds of aquatic species for food or play. Coming of age in course of time, the Demon brothers with huge bodies and proportionate common sense too, realised that there must have been a Massive Force which alone could have given birth to them. From the air, they heard a sound 'Vagbija' the Seed Mantra (Seed 'Bija' and 'Vak' the Speech of Goddess Sarasvati). To start with fun, but later on with maturity, they kept on practising the sound for years together, little realising the impact of the Mantra's repetition. In fact, they became so obsessed with the Mantra that they neither had food nor sleep, but with full concentration and utmost sincerity. 'The Parasakti's Voice emerged from the Skies that the Danava brothers would be invincible in the entire Universe provided they were united and fight two-some. Blessed by Maha Devi, the two brothers became swollen with pride and eventually attacked Lord Brahma Himself. On realising that they were unconquerable, Brahma who was seated on the lotus- head sprouting from Maha Vishnu's navel, tried the age-old four means. He tried to use 'Sama (Counselling) 'Dana' (Gifting or bribing), 'Bheda' (put one against another) and finally 'Danda' (Punish), but neither of these media appeared feasible; he ran away to Vaikuntha for protection but Maha Vishnu was in Yoga Nidra. Brahma had thus prayed to Yoga Nidra Devi to prompt Maha Vishnu to wake up. It was actually Maha Maya's discretion which mattered as Vishnu Himself could not regain consciouness on His own. The concentrate of 'Tamo Guna'- Maha Maya - was earnestly prayed to by Brahma, as this was a prestige issue for him and the entire domain of Gods! Maha Maya left Vishnu free and He was fully woken up to face the challenge of the hour, viz. to either manipulate or massacre the brothers, Madhu and Kaitabha. Lord Vishnu invited the brothers to fight with Himself. The fight continued for five thousand years but without a tangible result. As the Demons were clashing one after another and Lord Vishnu was in duel singly, the latter asked the brothers to give a break as it was against Justice that they took alternate positions while He was alone. During the break, Vishnu prayed to Maha Sakti and complained that the fight was unfair and that they were also given by Her the boon of voluntary death or 'Svacchanda Maranam'. Maha Sakti realised the lacuna in the duel and advised Vishnu to give boons to the brothers so that a way out would automatically open up. Meanwhile, Maha Sakti agreed to be present at the fight in physical form and disturb the concentration of the Demon brothers by casting Her fake amorous looks. This encouraged Vishnu to convey the Demons that their duel with Him was of great quality and thus He was ready to give boons to them. They got into the trap as they boasted that they were prepared to give boons to Him instead of the other way around. Vishnu grabbed the opportunity and said that He be given the boon of their death by killing each other! The brothers gave an excuse that the boon could be given only provided there was no water or wetness in the Ocean. Vishnu expanded his thighs manifold so that there could be adequate space for the killings. The Demons expanded their bodies too and thus the thighs of Vishnu and the body sizes of the brothers kept on increasing horizontally and vertically proportionately. Finally, the illusion created by Vishnu proved stronger and the brothers had to yield to their own killings. Thus Maha Sakti who assumed human physique and paved the way to the killings of the Danava brothers without breaking the Rules of 'Dharma Yuddha', partly by trickery and partly by Maya or Illusion.]

nāyam mayā śaraḥ pūrvam rāvaṇasya vadhārthinā, muktaḥ śatrughna bhūtānām mahāms trāso bhaved iti/ yac ca tasya mahac chūlam tryambakeṇa mahātmanā, dattam śatruvināśāya madhor āyudham uttamam/ tat samnikṣipya bhavane pūjyamānam punaḥ punaḥ, diśaḥ sarvāḥ samālokya prāpnoty āhāram ātmanaḥ/ Shri Rama then addressed Shatrughna: Dear brother! When I killed Ravanaasura, I did not have to utilise this amogha baana a that could have destroyed too many enemies. Normally, as and when enemies encounter and challenge Lavana then only he would pull out his shula awarded by Maha Dva other wise he would keep it safe in puja griha.yadā tu yuddham ākānkṣan kaś cid enam samāhvayet, tadā śūlam gṛhītvā tad bhasma rakṣaḥ karoti tam/ sa tvam puruṣaśārdūla tam āyudhavivarjitam, apraviṣṭa -puram pūrvam dvāri tiṣṭha dhrtāyudhah/ apraviṣṭam ca bhavanam yuddhāya puruṣaṣasabha, āhvayethā

mahābāho tato hantāsi rākṣasam/ anyathā kriyamāṇe tu avadhyaḥ sa bhaviṣyati, yadi tv evam krte vīra vināśam upayāsyati/ etat te sarvam ākhyātam śūlasya ca viparyayam, śrīmataḥ śitikaṇṭhasya krtyam hi duratikramam/ Now I suggest you may quietly attack him when he would not possess the gifted 'shula' suddenly and pierce this maha baana into his heart. Brother Shatrughna! Even before Lavanaasura could enter the rakshasa griha, attack him by sheer surprise with this 'amogha baana' and assuredly you should be comfortably destroy him. Otherwise with the Shiva shula it would be simply impossible to reach the asura to yamaloka!'

Sarga Sixty Four as follows

As was briefed to Shatrughna as above, Shri Rama further explained that some four thousand horsemen, two thousand charioteers, hundred elephants and related shastra astra arrowsmen as well af sufficient food materials besides nartaki-vadya brindas for your vijaya yatra. The sena would be too enthusiastic as they and their families would be contented with dhana dhanya surpluses. ato hrstajanākīr -nām prasthāpya mahatīm camūm, eka eva dhanuspānis tad gaccha tvam madhor vanam/ vathā tvām na prajānāti gacchantam yuddhakānkṣiṇam, lavaṇas tu madhoḥ putras tathā gaccher aśankitaḥ/ na tasya mṛtyur anyo 'sti kaścid dhi puruṣarṣabha darśanam yo 'bhigaccheta sa vadhyo lavaṇena hi/ Thus the well contented and well fed and strong soldiers of sizeable magnitude would be ahead and well backed up by you and you would have only enjoy your Yuddha Yatra to gladden your heart. Shatrughna! You would have to merely utilise only a single arrow as advised by me especially the Madhu Putra Lavanaasura should not be aware of your vijaya yatra and most certainly about the surprise attack plan to be locked up all within your mind. Purushottama Shatrughna!I had already explained to you, once Lavanasura faces you with his shula, further happenings could be disastrous. Soumya! Let this 'greeshma ritu' be over and varshakaala arrive, that should be the appropriate season for Lavanaasura vadha kaala nirnaya! Let the Shatrugna sena reach ganga teera on the other side meanwhile, and you may make your move with your dhanush alone with quietude.' As Shri Rama advised elaborating his brief, Shatrughna initiated his action by calling for the senapati and instructing the details, paid pranaamas to Devis Kousalya, Sumitra and Kaikeyi, made 'pradakshina-paadaabhiyandana' to Shri Rama-Bharata-Lakshmanas, prostrations to Raja Purohita Brahmarshi Vasithta, and finally once again to Shri Ramaalingana and made his 'shubha prasthaana' from Ayodhyapuri to the 'Gangaatata' along with the sena.

Sarga Sixty Five

<u>Under Rama's directive left for Lavanasura ,Shatrughna reached Valmiki ashram for a night halt and</u> 'aatithya'- Maharshi narrated ancient Ikshvaku King's curse from Vasishtha and and redemption too

Prasthāpya tad balam sarvam māsamātroṣitaḥ pathi, eka evāśu śatrughno jagāma tvaritas tadā/dvirātram antare śūra uṣya rāghavanandanaḥ, vālmīker āśramam puṇyam agacchad vāsam uttamam/so 'bhivādya mahātmānam vālmīkim munisattamam, kṛtāñjalir atho bhūtvā vākyam etad uvāca ha/bhagavan vastum icchāmi guroḥ kṛtyād ihāgataḥ, śvaḥ prabhāte gamiṣyāmi pratīcīm vāruṇīm diśam/śatrughnasya vacaḥ śrutvā prahasya munipumgavaḥ, pratyuvāca mahātmānam svāgatam te mahāyaśaḥ/svam āśramam idam saumya rāghavāṇām kulasya ha, āsanam pādyam arghyam ca nirviśankaḥ pratīccha me/ pratīgrhya tataḥ pūjām phalamūlam ca bhojanam, bhakṣayām āsa kākutsthas tṛptim ca paramām gataḥ/sa tu bhuktvā mahābāhur maharṣim tam uvāca ha, pūrvam yajñavibhūtīyam kasyāśramasamīpataḥ/tasya tadbhāṣitam śrutvā vālmīkir vākyam abravīt, śatrughna śṛṇu yasyedam babhūvāyata -nam purā/yuṣmākam pūrvako rājā sudāsasya mahātmanaḥ, putro mitrasaho nāma vīryavān atidhārmikaḥ/sa bāla eva saudāso mṛgayām upacakrame, cañcūryamāṇam dadṛśe sa śūro rākṣasadvayam/śārdūlarūpiṇau ghorau mṛgān bahusahasraśaḥ bhakṣayāṇāv asamtuṣṭau paryāptim ca na jagmatuḥ/sa tu tau rākṣasau dṛṣṭvā nirmṛgam ca vanam kṛtam, krodhena mahatāviṣṭo jaghānaikam maheṣuṇā/vinipātya tam ekam tu saudāsaḥ puruṣarṣabhaḥ, vijvaro vigatāmarṣo hatam rakṣo 'bhyavaiksata/ nirīksamānam tam drstvā sahāyas tasya raksasah, samtāpam akarod ghoram saudāsam

cedam abravīt/ yasmād anaparāddham tvam sahāyam mama jaghnivān, tasmāt tavāpi pāpistha pradāsyāmi pratikriyām/ evam uktvā tu tam raksas tatraivāntaradhīvata, kālaparyāyayogena rājā mitrasaho 'bhavat/ rājāpi yajate yajñam tasyāśramasamīpataḥ, aśvamedham mahāyajñam tam vasistho 'bhyapālayat/ tatra yajño mahān āsīd bahuvarṣagaṇāyutān, samṛddhaḥ parayā lakṣmyā devayajñasamo 'bhayat/ athāyasāne yajñasya pūryayairam anusmaran, yasistharūpī rājānam iti hoyāca rāksasah/ adya yajñāvasānānte sāmiṣam bhojanam mama, dīyatām iti śīghram vai nātra kāryā vicāraṇā/ tac chrutvā vyāhṛtam vākyam rakṣasā kāmarūpiṇā, bhakṣasamskārakuśalam uvāca pṛthivīpatiḥ/ haviṣyam sāmiṣam svādu vathā bhavati bhojanam, tathā kurusva śīghram vai paritusved vathā guruh/ śāsanāt pārthivendrasya sūdah sambhrāntamānasah, sa ca raksah punas tatra sūdavesam athākarot/ sa mānusam atho māmsam pārthivāya nyavedayat, idam svāduhavisyam ca sāmisam cānnam āhrtam/ sa bhojanam vasisthāya patnyā sārdham upāharat, madayantyā naravyāghra sāmisam raksasā hṛtam/ jñātvā tadāmisam vipro mānusam bhojanāhrtam, krodhena mahatāvisto vyāhartum upacakrame/ yasmāt tvam bhojanam rājan mamaitad dātum icchasi, tasmād bhojanam etat te bhavişyati na samśayah/ sa rājā saha patnyā vai pranipatya muhur muhuh, punar vasistham provāca vad uktam brahmarūpina/ tac chrutā pārthivendrasva raksasā vikrtam ca tat, punah provāca rājānam vasisthah purusarsabham/ mavā roşaparītena yad idam vyāhrtam vacah, naitac chakyam vrthā kartum pradāsyāmi ca te varam/ kālo dvādaśa varṣāṇi śāpasyāsya bhaviṣyati, matprasādāc ca rājendra atītam na smariṣyasi/ evam sa rājā tam śāpam upabhujyārimardanah, pratilebhe punā rājyam prajāś caivānvapālayat/ tasya kalmāsapādasya yajñasyāyatanam śubham, āśramasya samīpe 'smin yasmin prechasi rāghava' tasya tām pārthivendrasya kathām śrutvā sudāruṇām, viveśa parṇaśālāyām maharṣim abhivādya ca/

As Shatrughna Sena having travelled for a couple of days and nights, reached the precincts of Vaalmiki ashrama . bhagavan vastum icchāmi guroḥ kṛtyād ihāgataḥ, śvaḥ prabhāte gamiṣyāmi pratīcīm vāruṇīm diśam/ śatrughnasya vacah śrutvā prahasya munipumgayah, pratyuvāca mahātmānam svāgatam te mahāyaśah/ svam āśramam idam saumya rāghavānām kulasya ha, āsanam pādyam arghyam ca nirviśankah pratīccha me/ pratigṛhya tatah pūjām phalamūlam ca bhojanam, bhaksayām āsa kākutsthas tṛptim ca paramām gatah/ He then had the darshana bhagya of the Maharshi Valmiki and having prostrated to the Maharshi said: Bhagavan! I am here on account of King Shri Rama's duty and seek our shelter for me and the sena overnight and next morning itself we would like to the paschima disha under the rule of Varun Deva. Maharshi Valmiki smiled pleasantly and assured his swagata vachanas; he asserted that this indeed should be under the control of Raghu vamsha any way!' So saying were provided all the amenities of 'aasana-paadya-arghya-phala moola bhojana triptis' to all the guests. sa tu bhuktvā mahābāhur maharsim tam uvāca ha, pūrvam yajñavibhūtīyam kasyāśramasamīpatah/ tasya tadbhāsitam śrutvā vālmīkir vākyam abravīt, śatrughna śrnu yasyedam babhūvāyatanam purā/ Then Shatrughna having been overwhelmed with Maharshi's 'atithi satkaaras' enquired of Valmiki: 'Maha Muni! I find here in the ashram the remains of 'praacheena yagjna kaarya yupaadi upakaranas'! of whose were those yajamaana Nareshas. I am inquisitive, do pardon my over-curiosity!' Then the Maharshi explained as follows: 'Among you purvaja rajas there was one named Sudasa whose descendant was Veerasaha alias Mitrasaha an 'atyanta dharmaatma'. Once Sudasaputra Mitrasha as a youth went on a hunting spree and witnessed two rakshasas who were berserk devouring thousand and odd animals yet renamed hungry. Sudasa went wild with anger and having raised his dhanurbaanaas and killed one of the rakshasas. Then the second rakshasa shouted that Sudasa putra that at no provocation his friend was killed and hence he should certainly take revenge and having asserted thus disappeared by the 'rakshas maya vidya'. In course of time Mitrasaha became Ayodhya Raja and performed Ashwamedha Yagina as Raja Purohita Vasishtha by his tapobala had well guarded the ashvamedha from rakshas elements. That ashvamedha yagina was cotiued for thousand years. At the Yagjna samaapti samana, that yuvaavastha kaala Mitrasha's killing of one rakshas's second friend then assumed the form of Vasishtha raaja purohita's maya swarupa and asked King Mitrasaha: adya yajñāvasānānte sāmisam bhojanam mama, dīyatām iti sīghram vai nātra kāryā vicāranā/ tac chrutvā vyāhṛtam vākyam raksasā kāmarūpinā, bhaksasamskārakuśalam uvāca pṛthivīpatiḥ/ haviṣyam sāmiṣam svādu yathā bhavati bhojanam, tathā kuruṣva śīghram vai parituṣyed vathā guruh/ śāsanāt pārthivendrasva sūdah sambhrāntamānasah, sa ca raksah punas tatra sūdavesam

athākarot/Raja! Today is the 'yagjna pari samaapti'. You should consume 'maamsa bhojana'. Then Mitrasaha instructed the Royal kichen incharge to get ready with a 'maamsa bhojana'. As per the instruction of the King himself the 'maamsa yukta havish' was got ready forthwith . sa bhojanam vasişthāya patnyā sārdham upāharat, madayantyā naravyāghra sāmişam rakṣasā hṛtam/ jñātvā tadāmisam vipro mānusam bhojanāhrtam, krodhena mahatāvisto vyāhartum upacakrame/ vasmāt tvam bhojanam rājan mamaitad dātum icchasi, tasmād bhojanam etat te bhavişyati na samsayah/Then Maharshi Valmiki explained to Shartughna further as follows: 'Nara shreshtha Shatrughna! King Mitrasaha along with his dharmapatni queen Madayanti kept before the real Brahmarshi Vasishtha who arrived by then. The latter realised that the havishanna was full of 'maanava maamsa' and went wild with uncontrollable and seething anger; he shouted: Raja! You have the audacity to keep the cooked human flesh before me as the havishaanna! May you be a rakashasa by yourself!' As Vasishtha cursed thus sprinckling mantra jalaas to both the King and Queen, they were both horrified and broke down crying away. sa rājā saha patnyā vai praņipatya muhur muhuḥ, punar vasiṣṭhaṁ provāca yad uktaṁ brahmarūpiņa/tac chrutā pārthivendrasya rakṣasā vikṛtam ca tat, punaḥ provāca rājānam vasiṣṭhaḥ purusarsabham/ mavā rosaparītena vad idam vyāhrtam vacah, naitac chakyam vrthā kartum pradāsvāmi ca te varam/ kālo dvādaśa varṣāṇi śāpasyāsya bhaviṣyati, matprasādāc ca rājendra atītaṁ na smariṣyasi/ Then the King anong with his queen fell at the feet of Brahmarshi Vasishtha and cried out hoarse and explained: Brahmarshe! Some body had masqueraded and deceived us by assuming your swarupa and instructed us to have prepared this kind of 'nara maamsa' as the 'havishaanna' and accordingly this had been cooked likewise.' Then Vasishtha by then having realised by his celestial vision what must have happened stated that his shaapa would be irretrievable, yet I would accord a boon to you. Thus shaapa would be valid for twelve years hence and there after when you regain your respective statuses would be on your memory screens ever.evam sa rājā tam śāpam upabhujyārimardanah, pratilebhe punā rājyam prajāś caivānvapālayat/ tasya kalmāsapādasya yajñasyāyatanam śubham, āśramasya samīpe 'smin vasmin prcchasi rāghava/ tasya tām pārthivendrasya kathām śrutvā sudārunām, viveśa parnaśālāyām maharsim abhivādya ca/ That was how Shatrusudana Shatrughna! These happen to be the 'Kalashapaada Yagina saamagri that you are visualising thus now'. Then Shatrughna having heard thus, touched the Maharsha Valmiki's paada padmas and retired inside the parnashaala for the night rest.

Sarga Sixty Six

Coincidentally, Shatrughna was the single witness of the proceedings of Ikshvaaku Vamsha vriddhi of Kusha Lava Janma of Shri Rama-Devi Sita's twin sons at his destined halt at Valkmki Ashrama

Yām eva rātrim satrughna parņasālām samāvisat, tām eva rātrim sītāpi prasūtā dārakadvayam/ tato 'rdharātrasamaye bālakā munidārakāḥ, vālmīkeḥ priyam ācakhyuḥ sītāyāḥ prasavam subham, tasya rakṣām mahātejaḥ kuru bhūtavināsinīm/ teṣām tad vacanam srutvā munir harṣam upāgamat, bhūtaghnīm cākarot tābhyām rakṣām rakṣovināsinīm/kuśamuṣṭim upādāya lavam caiva tu sa dvijaḥ, vālmīkiḥ pradadau tābhyām rakṣām bhūtavināsinīm/ yas tayoḥ pūrvajo jātaḥ sa kuśair mantrasamskṛtaiḥ, nirmārjanīyas tu bhavet kuśa ity asya nāmataḥ/ yaś cāparo bhavet tābhyām lavena susamāhitaḥ, nirmārjanīyo vṛddhābhir lavaś ceti sa nāmataḥ/ evam kuśalavau nāmnā tāv ubhau yamajātakau, matkṛtabhyām ca nāmabhyām khyātiyuktau bhaviṣyataḥ/ te rakṣām jagṛhus tām ca munihastāt samāhitāḥ, akurvamś ca tato rakṣām tayor vigatakalmaṣāḥ/ tathā tām kriyamāṇām tu rakṣām gotram ca nāma ca, samkīrtanam ca rāmasya sītāyāḥ prasavau subhau/ ardharātre tu satrughnaḥ suśrāva sumahat priyam, parṇaśālām gato rātrau diṣṭyā diṣṭyeti cābravīt/ tatha tasya prahṛṣṭasya śatrughnasya mahātmanaḥ, vyatītā vārṣikī rātriḥ śrāvaṇī laghuvikramā/ prabhāte tu mahāvīryaḥ kṛtvā paurvāhṇikam kramam, munim prāñjalir āmantrya prāyāt paścānmukhaḥ punaḥ/ sa gatvā yamunātīram saptarātroṣitaḥ pathi, ṛṣīṇām puṇyakīrtīnām āśrame vāsam abhyayāt/ sa tatra munibhiḥ sār--dham bhārgavapramukhair nṛpaḥ, kathābhir bahurūpābhir vāsam cakre mahāyaśāḥ/

Even on the very night of Shatrughna's arrival at Maharshi Valmiki's ashrama and latter's narration of the ancient Ikshvaaku King's yagjya kaaryas that Devi Sita was blessed with the birth of twin sons. At that very midnight, the elderely women of the annex to the ashram approached Maharshi Valmiki and requested him to the 'sutika pradesha' and provide 'rakshasa vinaasha raksha vyavastha'. kuśamustim upādāva lavam caiva tu sa dvijah, vālmīkih pradadau tābhvām raksām bhūtavināśinīm/ vas tavoh pūrvajo jātah sa kuśair mantrasamskṛtaih, nirmārjanīyas tu bhavet kuśa ity asya nāmatah/ yaś cāparo bhavet tābhyām lavena susamāhitaḥ, nirmārjanīyo vṛddhābhir lavaś ceti sa nāmataḥ/Then Maharshi Valmiki collected binds of kushaagra collections together for 'mantra yukta raksha vidhi upadesha' to the new arrival 'baalakas' and asked the elderly strees who facilitated the 'sukha prasava' to sprinkle the rakshodakas' on the mother Devi Sita. As that 'marjana karyakrama' had been successfully done by the elderely vriddha strees as prescribed, the baby boy who emerged foremost was named by the Maharshi as Kusha, and after the marjana of the second arrival boy was named as Lava, thus the 'nama karana samskaara' was concluded by the Pitaamaha samaana Valmiki Maharshi. evam kuśalavau nāmnā tāv ubhau yamajātakau, matkrtabhyām ca nāmabhyām khyātiyuktau bhavişyataḥ/ te rakṣām jagrhus tām ca munihastāt samāhitāh, akurvams ca tato raksām tavor vigatakalmasāh/ tathā tām krivamānām tu raksām gotram ca nāma ca, samkīrtanam ca rāmasya sītāyāh prasavau śubhau/ ardharātre tu śatrughnah śuśrāva sumahat priyam, parṇaśālām gato rātrau diṣṭyā diṣṭyeti cābravīt/ avīt/In this manner, the Maharshi asserted the twin brothers named Kusha and Lava would be famed on 'bhumandala' for ever! Then as vriddha strees were stating in high pitched voices about the names of Shri Rama and Devi Sita, their gotra, vamsha, parentage details at the 'naama karana samayocchaaranas' as stated by the Maharshi, Shatrughna was indeed thrilled. Subsequently and soon enough, Shatrughna approached Devi Sita at the parna shaala and asserted: 'Mother Sita Devi! I am indeed highly fortunate and feel ecstatic to see and meet you and the Kusha Lava Putras too as of my personal privilege. May Almighty bless you for the soonest Rama Sita samagama witth the chiranjeevi Kusha Lavaas too!' Thereafter Satrughna having secured from Valmiki Maharshi and the all concerned proceeded along with Chavanaadi Munis for the most desirable destruction of Lavanaasura vadha!

Sarga Sixty Seven

On way to reach the cruel Lavanaasura, Shatrughna enquired of further details of the Asura from Chyanana Muni who detailed that Mandhata of Ikshvakus was killed by Parama Shiva Shula

Atha rātryām pravrttāyām śatrughno bhrgunandanam papraccha cyavanam vipram lavanasya balābalam/ śūlasya ca balam brahman ke ca pūrvam nipātitāh, anena śūlamukhena dvandvayuddham upāgatāh/ tasya tadbhāṣitam śrutvā śatrughnasya mahātmanah, pratyuvāca mahātejāś cyavano raghunandanam/ asamkhyeyāni karmāni yāny asya puruşarşabha, iksvākuvamsaprabhave yad vrttam tac chṛṇuṣva me/ ayodhyāyām purā rājā yuvanāśvasuto balī, māndhātā iti vikhyātas triṣu lokeṣu vīryavān/ sa krtvā prthivīm krtsnām śāsane prthivīpatih, suralokam atho jetum udvogam akaron nrpah/ indrasya tu bhayam tīvram surānām ca mahātmanām, māndhātari krtodvoge devalokajigīsavā/ ardhāsanena śakrasya rājyārdhena ca pārthivaḥ, vandyamānaḥ suragaṇaiḥ pratijñām adhyarohata/ tasya pāpam abhiprāyam viditvā pākaśāsanah, sāntvapūrvam idam vākyam uvāca yuvanāśvajam/ rājā tvam mānuse loke na tāvat purusarsabha, akrtvā prthivīm vasyām devarājyam ihecchasi/ yadi vīra samagrā te medinī nikhilā vaśe, devarājyam kurusveha sabhṛtyabalavāhanah/ indram evam bruvānam tu māndhātā vākyam abravīt, kva me śakra pratihatam śāsanam pṛthivītale/ tam uvāca sahasrākṣo lavaņo nāma rākṣasaḥ, madhuputro madhuvane nājñām te kurute 'nagha/ tac chrutvā vipriyam ghoram sahasrākṣeṇa bhāṣitam, vrīdito 'vānmukho rājā vyāhartum na śaśāka ha/āmantrya tu sahasrākṣam hriyā kim cid avānmukhaḥ, punar evāgamac chrīmān imam lokam nareśvarah/ sa krtvā hrdaye 'marşam sabhrtyabalavāhanah, ājagāma madhoh putram vaśe kartum aninditah/ sa kānksamāno lavanam yuddhāya purusarsabhah, dūtam sampresayām āsa sakāśam lavanasya sah/ sa gatvā vipriyāny āha bahūni madhunah sutam, vadantam evam tam dūtam bhakṣayām āsa rākṣasaḥ/ cirāyamāṇe dūte tu rājā krodhasamanvitaḥ, ardavām āsa tad raksah saravrstvā samantatah/ tatah prahasya lavanah sūlam jagrāha pāninā, vadhāya

sānubandhasya mumocāyudham uttamam/ tac chūlam dīpyamānam tu sabhrtyabalavāhanam, bhasmīkrtya nrpam bhūyo lavaṇasyāgamat karam/ evam sa rājā sumahān hataḥ sabalavāhanaḥ, śūlasya ca balam vīra aprameyam anuttamam/śvaḥ prabhāte tu lavaṇam vadhiṣyasi na samśayaḥ,agrhītāyudham kṣipram dhruvo hi vijayas tava/

On the way forward with the mission to 'Lavanaasura Vadha' Shatrughna enquired of the fuller details of Lavanaasura and the Maha Muni Chyavana explained that the most wretched and indescribable 'dushta charyaas' were countless, especially in reference to your Ikshvaaku vamsha King Mandhata, the Yuvanaashvaputra, the 'loka prakhyaata maha paraakrami', who had brought the entire Prithivi under his single control as the singular chakravarti. He then eventually desired to seek Deva Loka Vijaya. Then Indra knowing the mind of Mandhata and expressed his insinuations to Mandhata: $r\bar{a}j\bar{a}$ tvam mānuse loke na tāvat purusarsabha, akrtvā prthivīm vaśyām devarājyam ihecchasi/ yadi vīra samagrā te medinī nikhilā vaśe, devarājyam kuruṣveha sabhṛtyabalavāhanah/ indram evam bruvāṇam tu māndhātā vākyam abravīt, kva me śakra pratihatam śāsanam prthivītale/ tam uvāca sahasrākso lavaņo nāma rāksasah, madhuputro madhuvane nājñām te kurute 'nagha' 'Maha Raja Mandhata! How is it that you feel you could even ever imagine to conquer Indra Loka as you had still not conquered even the 'vistaara bhuloka kingdoms' even.' As Mandhata asked as to who else still uncontrolled on earth, Indra specified 'Madhuvana Madhuputra Lavanaasura'. As Mandhata was put to shame, he retreated from Indra Loka this his amathya, senapati and senas and back to martyas loka and attacked Madhu putra Lavanaasasura. tatah prahasya lavaṇah śūlam jagrāha pāṇinā, vadhāya sānubandhasya mumocāyudham uttamam/ tac chūlam dīpyamānam tu sabhrtyabalavāhanam, bhasmīkrtya nrpam bhūyo lavaņasyāgamat karam evam sa rājā sumahān hataḥ sabalavāhanaḥ, śūlasya ca balam vīra aprameyam anuttamam/śvaḥ prabhāte tu lavanam vadhisyasi na samsayah,agrhītāyudham ksipram dhruvo hi vijayas tava/ The asura was amused and smilingly took to his hands the 'Parama Shiva Kataakshasamyukta Maha Shula' which as was hurled gained 'prachanda vaayu teevrata' and soon enough converted Mandhata and his vishaala sena to heaps of ash. Next morning, having spent the night proceeded to Madhavanas where Lavanaasura resided assuring that Shatrugna should be blessed to kill Lavanasura by the day.

Sargas Sixty Eight and Sixty Nine

<u>Having arrived at Madhupuri attacking Lavanasura suddenly, Shatrughna followed Shri Rama Vachanas</u> as the asura was without Shiva Shula but attacked with Vishnu Baana that killed Madhu Kaitabhas

Kathām kathayatām teṣām jayam cākānkṣatām śubham, vyatītā rajanī śīghram śatrughnasya mahātmanah/ tataḥ prabhāte vimale tasmin kāle sa rākṣasaḥ, nirgatas tu purād vīro bhakṣāhārapracoditah/ etasminn antare śūraḥ śatrughno yamunām nadīm, tīrtvā madhupuradvāri dhanuṣpāṇir atiṣṭhata/ tato 'rdhadivase prāpte krūrakarmā sa rākṣasaḥ, āgacchad bahusahasram prāṇinām udvahan bharam/ tato dadarśa śatrughnam sthitam dvāri dhrtāvudham, tam uvāca tato raksah kim anena karisyasi/īdrśānām sahasrāni sāvudhānām narādhama, bhaksitāni mayā rosāt kālam ākānksase nu gatohyasi/āhāraś cāpy asampūrņo mamāyam puruṣādhama, svayam praviṣṭo nu mukham katham āsādya durmate/ tasyaivam bhāsamānasya hasataś ca muhur muhuh, śatrughno vīryasampanno rosād aśrūny avartayat/ tasya rosābhibhūtasya śatrughnasya mahātmanah, tejomayā marīcyas tu sarvagātrair vinispatan/ uvāca ca susamkruddhah śatrughnas tam niśācaram, yoddhum icchāmi durbuddhe dvandvayuddham tvayā saha/ putro daśarathasyāham bhrātā rāmasya dhīmatah, śatrughno nāma śatrughno vadhākānkṣī tavāgataḥ/ tasya me yuddhakāmasya dvandvayuddham pradīyatām, śatrus tvam sarvajīvānām na me jīvan gamişyasi/ tasmims tathā bruvāņe tu rākşasah prahasann iva, pratyuvāca naraśreṣṭham diṣṭyā prāpto 'si durmate/ mama māṭṛṣvasur bhrātā rāvano nāma rāksasah, hato rāmena durbuddhe strīhetoh purusādhama/ tac ca sarvam mayā ksāntam rāvanasya kulaksayam, avajñām puratah kṛtvā mayā yūyam viśesatah/ na hatāś ca hi me sarve paribhūtās tṛnam yathā, bhūtāś caiva bhavişyāś ca yūyam ca puruṣādhamāḥ/ tasya te yuddhakāmasya yuddham dāsyāmi durmate, īpsitam vādršam tubhyam sajjave vāvad āvudham/ tam uvācātha satrughnah kva me jīvan gamisvasi, durbalo 'py

āgataḥ śatrur na moktavyaḥ krtātmanā/ yo hi viklavayā buddhyā prasaram śatrave dadau, sa hato mandabuddhitvād yathā kāpuruṣas tathā/

Tac chrutvā bhāṣitam tasya śatrughnasya mahātmanaḥ, krodham āhārayat tīvram tiṣṭha tiṣṭhati cābravīt/ pānau pānim vinispisva dantān katakatāvva ca, lavano raghuśārdūlam āhvavām āsa cāsakrt/ tam bruvāṇam tathā vākyam lavaṇam ghoravikramam, śatrughno deva śatrughna idam vacanam abravīt/ śatrughno na tadā jāto yadānye nirjitās tvayā,tad adya bāṇābhihato vraja tam yamasādanam/ ṛṣayo 'py adya pāpātman mayā tvām nihatam rane, paśyantu viprā vidvāmsas tridaśā iva rāvanam/ tvayi madbāṇanirdagdhe patite 'dya niśācara puram janapadam cāpi kṣemam etad bhaviṣyati/ adya madbāhunişkrāntaḥ śaro vajranibhānanaḥ, pravekṣyate te hṛdayam padmam amśur ivārkajaḥ/ evam ukto mahāvṛksam lavanah krodhamūrchitah, śatrughnorasi ciksepa tam śūrah śatadhācchinat/ tad dṛstvā viphalam karma rākṣasaḥ punar eva tu, pādapān subahūn grhya śatrughne vyasrjad balī/ śatrughnaś cāpi tejasvī vṛkṣān āpatato bahūn, tribhiś caturbhir ekaikam ciccheda nataparvabhih/ tato bāṇamayam varşam vyasrjad rākṣasor asi, śatrughno vīryasampanno vivyathe na ca rākṣasaḥ/ tataḥ prahasya lavaṇo vrksam utpātva līlavā, śirasv abhvahanac chūram srastāngah sa mumoha vai/ tasmin nipatite vīre hāhākāro mahān abhūt, ṛṣṇṇām deva saṃghānām gandharvāpsarasām api/ tam avajñāya tu hatam śatrughnam bhuvi pātitam, rakṣo labdhāntaram api na viveśa svam ālayam/ nāpi śūlam prajagrāha tam drstvā bhuvi pātitam, tato hata iti jñātvā tān bhaksān samudāvahat/ muhūrtāl labdhasamjñas tu punas tasthau dhṛtāyudhah, śatrughno rāksasadvāri ṛsibhih samprapūjitah/ tato divyam amogham tam jagrāha śaram uttamam, įvalantam tejasā ghoram pūrayantam diśo daśa/ vajrānanam vajravegam merumandara gauravam, natam parvasu sarvesu samyugesv aparājitam/ asrkcandanadigdhāngam cārupatram patatriṇam, dānavendrācalendrāṇām asurāṇām ca dāruṇam/ tam dīptam iva kālāgnim yugānte samupasthite, dṛṣṭvā sarvāṇi bhūtāni paritrāsam upāgaman, sadevāsuragandharvam samunim sāpsaroganam, jagad dhi sarvam asvastham pitāmaham upasthitam/ ūcuś ca devadeveśam varadam prapitāmaham, kaccil lokaksayo deva prāpto vā yugasamkayah/ nedrsam drstapūrvam na srutam vā prapitāmaha, devānām bhayasammoho lokānām samksayah prabho/ tesām tad vacanam śrutvā brahmā lokapitāmanah, bhayakāraṇam ācaṣṭe devānām abhayamkarah/ vadhāya lavaṇasyājau śaraḥ śatrughnadhāritah, tejasā yasya sarve sma sammūdhāh surasattamāh/ eso hi pūrvam devasya lokakartuh sanātanaḥ, śaras tejomayo vatsā yena vai bhayam āgatam/ eṣa vai kaiṭabhasyārthe madhunaś ca mahāśaraḥ, sṛṣṭo mahātmanā tena vadhārtham daityayos tayoḥ/ evam etam prajānīdhvam viṣṇos tejomayam śaram, esā caiva tanuh pūrvā visnos tasya mahātmanah/ ito gacchatā paśyadhvam vadhyamānam mahātmanā, rāmānujena vīrena lavanam rāksasottamam/ tasya te devadevasya niśamya madhurām giram, ājagmur yatra yudhyete śatrughnalavaṇāv ubhau/ tam śaram divyasamkāśam śatrughnakaradhāritam, dadrśuh sarvabhūtāni yugāntāgnim ivotthitam/ ākāśam āvṛtam dṛstvā devair hi raghunandanah, simhanādam muhuḥ kṛtvā dadarśa lavaṇam punaḥ/ āhūtaś ca tatas tena śatrughnena mahātmanā, lavaṇaḥ krodhasamyukto yuddhāya samupasthitaḥ/ ākarṇāt sa vikṛṣyātha tad dhanur dhanvinām varaḥ, sa mumoca mahābāṇam lavaṇasya mahorasi, uras tasya vidāryāśu praviveśa rasātalam/ gatvā rasātalam divyam saro vibudhapūjitah, punar evāgamat tūrņam ikṣvākukulanandanam/ śatrughnaśaranirbhinno lavanah sa niśācarah, papāta sahasā bhūmau vajrāhata ivācalah/ tac ca divyam mahac chūlam hate lavaņarākṣase, paśyatām sarvabhūtānām rudrasya vaśam anvagāt/ ekeṣupātena bhayam nihatya; lokatrayasyāsya raghupravīrah, vinirbabhāv udyatacāpabānas; tamah pranudyeva sahasrarasmih/

By the next morning having been well equipped with bakshya padardhas and having crossed Yamuna River reached Madhu Vana Puri Dwara by the mid day, Shatrughna with his dhanur baanaas screamed very loudly as there were resounds returned from the skies challenging Lavanasura: tato dadarśa śatrughnam sthitam dvāri dhṛtāyudham, tam uvāca tato rakṣaḥ kim anena kariṣyasi/īdṛśānām sahasrāṇi sāyudhānām narādhama, bhakṣitāni mayā roṣāt kālam ākānkṣase nu gatohyasi/āhāraś cāpy asampūrṇo mamāyam puruṣādhama, svayam praviṣṭo nu mukham katham āsādya durmate/ Then having seen Shatrughna with astra shasstras, the rakshasa replied: 'Naraadhama! Do you think that I should shiver looking at your aayudhaas! How many thousandas of such naraadhamas like you had never returned

except by their anxiety to die at my hands. Looks that Kala Devata should be dancing away on your fat head. Purushaadhama! In fact my hunger had not yet been satisfied too. And you have on your own quite voluntarily come across before me without having to be searched for! tasyaivam bhāṣamāṇasya hasataś ca muhur muhuh, śatrughno vīryasampanno roṣād aśrūṇy avartayat/ tasya roṣābhibhūtasya śatrughnasya mahātmanah, tejomavā marīcvas tu sarvagātrair vinispatan/ uvāca ca susamkruddhah satrughnas tam niśācaram, yoddhum icchāmi durbuddhe dvandvayuddham tvayā saha/ putro daśarathasyāham bhrātā rāmasya dhīmataḥ, śatrughno nāma śatrughno vadhākānkṣī tavāgataḥ/ On hearing the heckling bravados, Shatrughna's enraged looks were like agni jvaalas and the eyes were so fierce as were shedding hot tears. As his entire personality was radiant with the essence of 'parama veerata' swelling out and across, Shatrughma replied: Oh coward Rakshadaadhama! Would you not like to choose 'Dwandva yuddha'. Beware! I happen to be the brother of Shri Rama who had uprooted Ravanasura and his clan of followers. My very name is Shatrughna the shatru samhaara; now I have arrived to ensure your termination. Then the Rakshasa made a 'vikattaksha haahaas' and said: yes, Ravana was my maternal aunt Shurpanakha's brother; this is another provocation for me to avenge a prateekaara further. It was shameful that my aunt was put to shame despite her being a woman.na hatāś ca hi me sarve paribhūtās tṛṇam yathā, bhūtāś caiva bhaviṣyāś ca yūyam ca puruṣādhamāḥ/ tasya te yuddhakāmasya yuddham dāsyāmi durmate, īpsitam yādrsam tubhyam sajjaye yāvad āyudham/ tam uvācātha satrughnah kva me jīvan gamisyasi, durbalo 'py āgatah śatrur na moktavyah kṛtātmanā/ yo hi viklavayā buddhyā prasaram *śatrave dadau, sa hato mandabuddhitvād yathā kāpurusas tathā*/ Once a naraadhama of your dirty clan would dare to fight with mne, how indeed that golden opportunity be lost, after all! Durmate! You wish to fight with me, is it not so. Yes, I should grant your wish, let me raise and straighten my dhanush baanaas'. Then, Shatrugna asserted: 'Durmate! Now you ought to be left right into your own death trap. No buddhimaan purusha could ever lose an opportunity to the enemy's offer to get killed soon. Rakshasa! Look all around now for just once before your non-existence of Shri Raghunadha shatru!!

Shatrughna then continued addressing Lavanaasura: 'Rakshasa! Well before you were able to destroy the Veera Maha Purushas, especially of my clan like Chakravarti Mandhaata, then Shatrughna was not born by then unfortunately. Now the force of my arrows would be such as to reach you to Yama loka too soon. Duratma! Just as Deva Gandhrava Maharshi brindas were elated and heaved long sighs when lokakantaka Ravanaasura was killed by my revered elder brother Shri Rama, now 'vidvan bramana maha munis' would be personally gracing your durachaaraas on them with your non existence and personally see you end to their greatest relief! tvayi madbāṇanirdagdhe patite 'dya niśācara puram janapadam cāpi ksemam etad bhavisyati/adya madbāhuniskrāntah śaro vajranibhānanah, praveksyate te hrdayam padmam amśur ivārkajah/ evam ukto mahāvrksam lavanah krodhamūrchitah, śatrughnorasi ciksepa tam śūraḥ śatadhācchinat/ Nishachara! Now my severe arrows like 'agni jvaalaas' should end up with your death blows as the Nagara-Jaanapada Prajas should celebrate with elation and relief. Once my 'hastagata baanaas' pierce through your chest like Surya Kirana prerita Kamalaas then they blow it up into thousand pieces. Then as Shatrughna declared with affirmation then Lavaasura was seemingly fainted vet having pulled off maha vrikshaas attacked Shatrughna who in turn released baana varshaas. Meanwhile, Lavanaasura's rakshasa ganaas too pulled off maha vrikshas as Shatrughna had set threes and fours of baana paramparaas and smashed the vrishas. Meanwhile Lavanaasura pulled off a giant sized sky rise Vriksha on Shatrughna who too felty dizzy and simultaniously Rishi, Deva samuha, Gandharaapsaaraas too made 'haa haa kaaraas'. tam avajñāya tu hatam satrughnam bhuvi pātitam, rakso labdhāntaram api na viveśa svam ālayam/ nāpi śūlam prajagrāha tam dṛṣṭvā bhuvi pātitam, tato hata iti jñātvā tān bhakṣān samudāvahat/ muhūrtāl labdhasamjñas tu punas tasthau dhrtāyudhah, satrughno rākṣasadvāri ṛṣibhiḥ samprapūjitaļ/ tato divyam amogham tam jagrāha śaram uttamam, jvalantam tejasā ghoram pūrayantam diśo daśa/As Shatrughna fell down, Lavanaasura felt relieved momentarily as Shatrughna might have been killed. That was how he felt that some how he should have wanted to visit his residence and pull off the Parama Shiva Shula. But most fortunately for Shatrughna, he recovered and stood up eract with his 'dhanurbaanaas' in tact. Soon enough Shatrughna commenced divya-amogha baanaas on dasha dishas on Lavanaasura and the rakshasaas surrounding right around the Mahaasura. Meanwhile, deva-gandharvamuni-apsaraas approached Brahma deva about the on going 'jagadavastha' due to the Lavanaasura-Shatrughna maha ghora yuddha. teṣām tad vacanam śrutvā brahmā lokapitāmanaḥ,bhayakāraṇam ācaṣṭe devānām abhayamkaraḥ/ vadhāya lavaṇasyājau śaraḥ śatrughnadhāritaḥ, tejasā yasya sarve sma sammūdhāh surasattamāh/ eso hi pūrvam devasya lokakartuh sanātanah, śaras tejomayo vatsā yena vai bhayam āgatam/ esa vai kaitabhasyārthe madhunaś ca mahāśarah, srsto mahātmanā tena vadhārtham daityayos tayoh/Then Brahma had coolly and smilingly replied and assured that by his vision Shatrughna had just pulled off one adviteeya baana [which Shri Rama handed over to Shatrughna already] which would most certainly kill Lavanaasura. He said: 'Dear sons! This sanaatana maha baana was in the past was released by Maha Vishnu to devastate Madhu Kaitbha Mahasuras by assuming Hayagreeva swarupa. evam etam prajānīdhvam visnos tejomavam śaram, esā caiva tanuh pūrvā visnos tasva mahātmanah/ ito gacchatā paśyadhvam vadhyamānam mahātmanā, rāmānujena vīrena lavanam rāksasottamam/ tasya te devadevasya niśamya madhurām giram, ājagmur yatra yudhyete śatrughnalavanāv ubhau/Only Maha Vishnu was aware of this 'tejomaya baana mahaatmya' as that was of the 'yugaantara rahasya'. Now you may all threfore leave back worriless and peaceminded.' As Devaadhi Deva Brahma Himself assured, they all flocked bach at the Sharughna-Lavanaasua yuddha pradesha. tam śaram divyasamkāśam śatrughnakaradhāritam, dadṛśuḥ sarvabhūtāni yugāntāgnim ivotthitam/ ākāśam āvṛtam dṛṣṭvā devair hi raghunandanah, simhanādam muhuḥ krtvā dadarśa lavaṇam punaḥ/ āhūtaś ca tatas tena śatrughnena mahātmanā, lavanah krodhasamyukto yuddhāya samupasthitah/ Aakarnāt sa viķṛṣyātha tad dhanur dhanvinām varah, sa mumoca mahābānam lavanasya mahorasi, uras tasya vidāryāśu praviveśa rasātalam/ 'That 'parama praacheena mahitaa yukta Maha Vishnu Divyaastra' that ravaged the 'purva yuga mahasuraas' came alive with ever roaring 'agni jvaalaas' as of pralaya kaala. From the high skies Deavaadi celestials raised 'mahotsaaha simhanaadaas' in favor of the Shatrughna Kumara who had then assumed 'pramakrodha swarupa' confronting the wretched Lavanaasura. He had drawn the Divyaastra of Maha Vishnu Himself as of 'aakarnaanta rupa' with straightened hands hitting right at the chest of Lavanaasura. gatvā rasātalam divyam saro vibudhapūjitah, punar evāgamat tūrnam iksvākukula nandanam/ śatrughnaśaranirbhinno lavaṇaḥ sa niśācaraḥ, papāta sahasā bhūmau vajrāhata ivācalaḥ/ Having penetrated into the very heart of the Asura the diivya baana reached rasaatala and returned back to Shatrughna's 'baana tuneera'. As Sharughna's divya bana having killed the nishaachara, the divya shula of Bhagavan Parama Shiva had reached Maheshwara Himself. Thus at the behest of Shri Rama, Shatrughna had succeeded in relieving the Maha Muni Chyavanadimunis and of the praja too.

Sarga Seventy

By Ramaanugraha, Shatrughna established himself well as the King of Madhuraapuri - administered it very ably for praja soukhya- took a break after fourteen years, sought to return to Ayodhya

Hate tu lavaņe devāḥ sendrāḥ sāgnipurogamāḥ, ūcuḥ sumadhurām vāṇīm śatrughnām śatrutāpanam/
diṣṭyā te vijayo vatsa diṣṭya lavaṇarākṣasaḥ, hataḥ puruṣaśārdūlavaram varaya rāghava/ varadāḥ sma
mahābāho sarva eva samāgatāḥ, vijayākānkṣiṇas tubhyam amogham darśanam hi naḥ/ devānām
bhāṣitam śrutvā śūro mūrdhni kṛtāñjaliḥ, pratyuvāca mahābāhuḥ śatrughnaḥ prayatātmavān/ imām
madhupurīm ramyām madhurām deva nirmitām, niveśam prapnuyām śīghram eṣa me 'stu varo mataḥ/
tam devāḥ prītamanaso bāḍham ity eva rāghavam, bhaviṣyati purī ramyā śūrasenā na samśayaḥ/ te
tathoktvā mahātmāno divam āruruhus tadā, śatrughno 'pi mahātejās tām senām samupānayat/ sā sena
śīghram āgacchac chrutvā śatrughnaśāsanam, niveśanam ca śatrughnaḥ śāsanena samārabhat/ sā purī
divyasamkāśā varṣe dvādaśame śubhā, niviṣṭā śūrasenānām viṣayaś cākutobhayaḥ/ kṣetrāṇi sasya
yuktāni kāle varṣati vāsavaḥ, arogā vīrapuruṣā śatrughnabhujapālitā/ ardhacandrapratīkāśā
yamunātīraśobhitā, śobhitā gṛhamukhyaiś ca śobhitā catvarāpaṇaiḥ/ yac ca tena mahac chūnyam
lavaṇena kṛtam purā, śobhayām āsa tad vīro nānāpaṇyasamṛddhibhiḥ/ tām samṛddhām samṛddhārthaḥ
śatrughno bharatānujaḥ, nirīkṣya paramaprītaḥ param harṣam upāgamat/ tasya buddhiḥ samutpannā
niveśya madhurām purīm, rāmapādau nirīkṣeyam varṣe dvādaśame śubhe/

As Shatrughna had ultimately accomplished Lavanaasura Vadha, Indra- Agni-and other Devatas approached him and asked him to seek any kind of boon. Shatrughna requested that the Deva Nirmita Ramaneeya Madhupuri, which Shri Rama made him to be the King of, be ever prosperous and peaceful. Thereafter Shatrughna commenced to stay at Madhupuri from the Shravana month then till the Varsha season for about twelve years thereafter being the public had comfortable and dharmika jeevana having appointed Shurasena as the in charge of the jaanapada areas. The entire praja had then spent their lives with 'sukha suraksha suvidhas'. As blessed by Indraadi Devas, there were timely rains, plentiful dhanadhaanya-daana-dharmas, Madhupuri picked up distinghished 'desha keerti'. The capital city was as clean with its formation of roads, streets, market places, and the qualty of citizens as those of the jaanapada villages which were totally neglected in the raakshasa rajya especially in the context of safety and welfare when the pura vaasis and jaanapada vaasis were never sure of a tomorrow or the following minutes sā purī divyasamkāśā varse dvādaśame śubhā, nivistā śūrasenānām visayaś cākutobhayah/ksetrāni sasya yuktāni kāle varşati vāsavah, arogā vīrapurusā śatrughnabhujapālitā/The Madhuraapuri then eventually flourished as a 'kraya-vikraaya yogya vasthus' as the place of reputed business center from the neighboring kingdoms too. The plentitude and businass climate of the kingdom had indeed gladdened the heart of Shatrughna ever within a few years of time. Further the Kingdom was was blessed with timely rains and orderly seasons with health and wealth. tasya buddhih samutpannā niveśya madhurām purīm, rāmapādau nirīkseyam varse dvādaśame śubhe/ Having been contented with the life for twelve long years, Shatrughna became rather nostalgic and longed for Shri Rama darshana developing a .strong will to visit back Ayodhyapuri.

Sargas Seventy One and Two

King Shatrughna left for Ayodhya after a twelve year gap-reached Vakmiki ashram- got thrilled by Kusha Lava Ramayana 'sangeeta'-took leave of Sita and Valmiki-met Rama who granted a week's soujorn

Tato dvādaśame varṣe śatrughno rāmapālitām, ayodhyām cakame gantum alpabhṛtyabalānugaḥ/
mantriṇo balamukhyāmś ca nivartya ca purodhasam, jagāma rathamukhyena hayayuktena bhāsvatā/ sa
gatvā gaṇitān vāsān saptāṣṭau raghunandanaḥ, ayodhyām agamat tūrṇam rāghavotsukadarśanaḥ/
Sa bhuktvaan narashrishtho geetamaadhuryamuttamma, shushraava Ramacharitam tasmin kaale
yathaakramam / Tantreelala samaayutam tristhaan karanaanvitam, shushraava Ramacharitram
tasminkaake puraa kritam/ Taanyaksharaani satyaani yathaa vrittaani purvashah,shruytvaa purusha
shadulo visagjnyo baashpalochanah/ Sa muhurtamivaasangjne vinishvasya muhurmuhuh, tasmin geete
yathaavrittam vartamaanamivaashrunot/ Padagaanuscha ye raajastaam, avaangmusvaachaa deenaascha
hyaascharyamiti chaabruvan/

sa praviśya purīm ramyām śrīmān ikṣvākunandanaḥ, praviveśa mahābāhur yatra rāmo mahādyutiḥ/ so 'bhivādya mahātmānam jvalantam iva tejasā, uvāca prāñjalir bhūtvā rāmam satyaparākramam/ yad ājñaptam mahārāja sarvam tat kṛtavān aham, hataḥ sa lavaṇaḥ pāpaḥ purī sā ca niveśitā/ dvādaśam ca gatam varṣam tvām vinā raghunandana, notsaheyam aham vastum tvayā virahito nṛpa/ sa me prasādam kākutstha kuruṣvāmitavikrama, mātṛhīno yathā vatsas tvām vinā pravasāmy aham/ evam bruvāṇam śatrughnam pariṣvajyedam abravīt, mā viṣādam kṛthā vīra naitat kṣatriya ceṣṭitam/ nāvasīdanti rājāno vipravāseṣu rāghava, prajāś ca paripālyā hi kṣatradharmeṇa rāghava/ kāle kāle ca mām vīra ayodhyām avalokitum, āgaccha tvam naraśreṣṭha gantāsi ca puram tava/ mamāpi tvam sudayitaḥ prāṇair api na samśayaḥ, avaśyam karaṇīyam ca rājyasya paripālanam/ tasmāt tvam vasa kākutstha pañcarātram mayā saha, ūrdhvam gantāsi madhurām sabhṛtyabalavāhanaḥ/ rāmasyaitad vacaḥ śrutvā dharmayuktam mano'nugam, śatrughno dīnayā vācā bāḍham ity eva cābravīt/ sa pañcarātram kākutstho rāghavasya yathājñayā, uṣya tatra maheṣvāso gamanāyopacakrame/ āmantrya tu mahātmānam rāmam satyaparākramam, bharatam lakṣmaṇam caiva mahāratham upāruhat/ dūram tābhyām anugato lakṣmaṇena mahātmanā, bharatena ca śatrughno jagāmāśu purīm tadā/

Accompanied by his princicipal mantris and senapatis, besides a partial sena having been retained for the rajya raksha, King Shatrughna moved out towards Ayodhyapuri. On the way, he visited Maharshi Valmika ashram with plentiful gifts of bhojana- samrudha phala-vastu-vastra- paaritoshikaas. Having prostratrated at the feet of the Maharshi, the latter congratulated Sharughna at Lavanaasura dushkara Vadha. The Maharshi stated that Shri Rama had to undergo insurmountable impediments at each and every step forward, to destroy Ravanaasura. But indeed, but Shatrughna was able to forward Lavanaasura to yamaloka with far less comparable ease and time though of similar objective of 'dharma paripaalana' anyway. Having so said soothingly, the Maharshi extended hospitality of bhojanaadi vishraanti satkaaraas sumptuously. Sa bhuktvaan narashrishtho geetamaadhuryamuttamma, shushraava Ramacharitam tasmin kaale yathaakramam / Tantreelala samaayutam tristhaan karanaanvitam, shushraava Ramacharitram tasminkaake puraa kritam/ As King Shatrughna had excellnt relaxation, he heard the sonorous singing along with instrumental music describing the details of Ramaayana covering Shri Rama- Devi Sita parinaya- their fourteen year 'vana vaasa'- the cruelty of Ravanasura- Ravana vadha- Rama's pattabhisheka- Devi Sita's praja ninda and Maharshi Valmiki ashrama and the arrival of Kusha-Lava Kumaras! This Ramacharitra was sung being 'Kavya baddha- Kaavya gaana-veenaa laya': it was appopriately modulated being 'hridaya- katha-muurdha sthaanaas' as per the 'ucchaarana of mandra-madhyasma- taara swara bhedoccharanaas' in 'sanskrita bhaasha' abiding to 'vyakaranachhanda-kaavya- sangeeta shastra lakshana sampanna ganochita taala baddha!'. Taanyaksharaani satvaani yathaa vrittaani purvashah,shruytvaa purusha shadulo visagjnyo baashpalochanah/ Sa muhurtam ivaasangjne vinishvasya muhurmuhuh, tasmin geete yathaavrittam vartamaanamivaashrunot/ Padagaanuscha ye raajastaam, ayaangmusyaachaa deenaascha hyaascharyamiti chaabruyan/ The 'madhuraadhi madhura gaana kushalata' was such that the listeners hear-feel-cogitate about the 'sanniveesaas' or the precise context experienes of elation-or sadnes-or anxiety- or relief- or suspense. Narration of that maha kavya's every word-sentence-sequence was at once an experience of make-belief as was happening then and there. On listening to the shows of reality, Shatrughna was dazed and swooned for good time bursting away crying often, feeling relieved at times, and kept in suspense cogitating what might follow next. Indeed there were countless 'sannivesaas' of tension and possible expectations. Those who accompanied the King Shatrughna kept expressing: What is this! Where are we! Why should this happen! How surprising and shocking! Could this be believable!' As the singing session was over, the dazed Shatrughna and the party left for the night sleep, yet unable to lie down restlessly.

Sarga Seventy Two continued:

Next morning after 'nithya karmaacharana' - Devi Sita's padaabhiyandana - Kusha Lava hridayaalinganaand prostrations to Maharshi Valmiki, as followed by 'asharama vaasi kritaginaabhivaadanas', King Shatrughna left for Ayodhya with his entourage. Having reached Ayodhya and made 'padaabhivandana' to Shri Rama stating: yad ājñaptam mahārāja sarvam tat krtavān aham, hatah sa lavaṇah pāpah purī sā ca niveśitā/ dvādaśam ca gatam varsam tvām vinā raghunandana, notsahevam aham vastum tvavā virahito nrpa/ sa me prasādam kākutstha kurusvāmitavikrama, mātrhīno vathā vatsas tvām vinā pravasāmy aham/ Maha Raja! You had entrusted me a duty and accordingly achieved the same successfully as duratma Lavanaasura was killed and I have been administering his kingdom to the best of my ability. Raghunandana! I have been staying aloof from you for fourteen long years so far but now I would not be able to do so any further. Amita parakrami Kaakusthya! No child could stay without a father figure for a pretty long period and hence you must show mercy for me now by making an alternate arrangemenet. Then Shri Rama smiled encouragingly: nāvasīdanti rājāno vipravāseṣu rāghava, prajāś ca paripālyā hi kṣatradharmeṇa rāghava/ kāle kāle ca mām vīra ayodhyām avalokitum, āgaccha tvam naraśrestha gantāsi ca puram tava/ mamāpi tvam sudayitah prānair api na samśayah, avaśyam karanīyam ca rājyasya paripālanam/Raghukula bhushana Shatrughna! It does not behove of Kings to reside in 'paradeshhas' and be their Kings there. You should always remember the bounden duty of Kshatriya Kings and never ever infringe that 'Kshaatra karvavya'. Nara shreshtha Raja! You may however keep soujourns occasionally no doubt. You must realise that you are my beloved youngest brother being

as dear as my own 'praana'. Yet at the same time 'rajya paripaalana' is your basic 'kartavya' as a King of a 'rajya'. tasmāt tvam vasa kākutstha pañcarātram mayā saha, ūrdhvam gantāsi madhurām sabhṛtyabalavāhanaḥ/ rāmasyaitad vacaḥ śrutvā dharmayuktam mano'nugam, śatrughno dīnayā vācā bāḍham ity eva cābravīt/ Now therefore you may enjoy our company for a week long holiday from your Kingship responsibility and move off with your sevakaas, mantris, and sena back to Madhurapuri. As per Rama's considered advice as per Kshatriya dharma, Shatrughna had acceeded in compliance.

Sargas Seventy Three and Four

<u>Vriddha brahmana brings his son's dead body to Rama Sabha accusing the King of 'akaala marana'-</u> Narada explains that an ineligible tapasvi as per Scriptures was responsible against varnaashramadharma!

As Shri Rama had thus seen off Sharughna back to his Kingdom had convened his Raja Sabha of his 'Ayodhya Praja'. While he was fully seized of serious discussions of the Raja Karyaas, there appeared at the Sabha an old brahmanottama shouting away with huge cryings along with the dead body of a brahmana boy. The vriddha brahmana shrieked in terrible anguish stating that the dead boy was merely of thirteen years and ten months. He further cried out with anguish that he and his wife too would not be reconcile this shock of putra shoka and should possibly die themselves due to this enormous heartbreak. The vriddha brahmana further howled: Na smarayaanritam hyuktam na cha himsaam smaraamyaham, sarveshaam praaninaam paapam na smaraami kadaachana/ Kenaadya dushkritenaayam baala eva mamaatmajah, akritvaa pitrukaaryaani gato vaivastakshayam/ Nedrusham dushta purvam me shrutam vaaghoradarshanam, mrityurapraapta kaalkaanaam Raamasya vishayehyayam/ In my long dharmic life, I had never ever lied by either tongue of heart nor ever hurt a creature consciously or unconsciously. Yet my dear son had since been sent to yamaraja griha before his baalyaavastha itself. This had never happened or even heard about in the Shri Rama Rajya everbefore. This kind of 'akaala mrityu' had neither been heard or experienced before. .Raamasya dushkritam kinchinmahadasti na shamshayah, yathaa hi vishayasthaanaam baalaanaam mrityuraagatah/ Nahyaanya vishayasthaanaam baalaanaam mrityuto bhayam, sa raajajjeevaasvainam baalam mrityuvashamgatam/ This is now evident that in this so called Rama Raiya, there must have been some dushkarmaas have come to thrive of late leading to such as this 'akaala baala mrityu'. Even among the neighbouring Kingdoms, there had not been this type of premature deaths. Naresh Rama! Now either you should revive the life of my son or get prepared for the 'atma hatyas' of myself and my wife too. As far as you are concerned, Naresha! May there be be sukha shanti in your rajya with bhraatru putra poutraas ever! Then one might as well surmise that this Ikshvaaku Vamsha had now become an 'anaadha'. Having having hoarsely cried out the vriddha vipra vara fainted down crestfallen.

Sarga Seventy Four continued

Tathā tu karuṇam tasya dvijasya paridevitam, śuśrāva rāghavaḥ sarvam duḥkhaśokasamanvitam/ sa duḥkhena susamtapto mantriṇaḥ samupāhvayat, vasiṣṭham vāmadevam ca bhrātṛmś ca sahanaigamān/ tato dvijā vasiṣṭhena sārdham aṣṭau praveśitāḥ, rājānam devasamkāśam vardhasveti tato 'bruvan/ mārkaṇḍeyo 'tha maudgalyo vāmadevaś ca kāśyapaḥ, kātyāyano 'tha jābālir gautamo nāradas tathā/ ete dvijarṣabhāḥ sarve āganeṣūpaveśitāḥ, mantriṇo naigamāś caiva yathārham anukūlataḥ/ teṣām samupaviṣṭānām sarveṣām dīptatejasām, raghavaḥ sarvam ācaṣṭe dvijo yasmāt praroditi/ tasya tadvacanam śrutvā rājño dīnasya nāradaḥ, pratyuvāca śubham vākyam ṛṣṇām samnidhau nṛpam/ Shri Rama was indeed flustered at the 'vriddha vipra mahaavilaapa' and having stood up stunned had accosted his mantris, Raja Purohita Vasishtha, and Bharata Lakshmanas. Then eight Maharshis too arrived viz. Markandeya-Moudgulya-Vaamadeva-Kashyapa-Jaabaali-Gotama and Narada. They remarked to Rama: 'It appears a vriddhha brahmana would appear to have been on a 'dharna' or a demonstration with his son's dead body accompanied by his wife! śṛṇu rājan yathākāle prāpto 'yam bālasamkṣayaḥ, śrutvā kartavyatām vīra kurusva raghunandana/ purā krtavyage rāma brāhmanā vai tapasvinaḥ,

abrāhmanas tadā rājan na tapasvī katham cana/tasmin yuge prajvalite brahmabhūte anāvrte, amrtyavas tadā sarve jajñire dīrghadarśinah/ Maharshis explained in detail: Maha Raja Shri Rama! in the course of Satya Yuga Kaala, only Brahmanaas were performing tapasya to the Unknown Almighty and as a result there were maha tejasvis and their utterances were ever truthful. Those brahmanas were trikaals darshis and never had the 'akaala mrityu dasha' ever. tatas tretāyugam nāma mānavānām vapuṣmatām, kṣatriyā yatra jāyante pūrveṇa tapasānvitāḥ/ vīryeṇa tapasā caiva te 'dhikāḥ pūrvajanmani, mānavā ye mahātmānas tasmims tretāyuge yuge/ brahmakṣatram tu tat sarvam yat pūrvam aparam ca yat, yugayor ubhayor āsīt samayīryasamanyitam/ apaśyantas tu te sarve viśesam adhikam tatah, sthāpanam cakrire tatra cāturvarnyasya sarvatah/Thereafter arrived Treta Yuga when Kshatriyas became prominent with their 'sudhrudha shareeras' and will power too and they too took to tapasya about the Unknown. Yet, the tretaa yuga 'maha purushaas' were couching away the 'kshaatra dharma' with the essence of tapasya. Thus there were Rajarshis apart from Maharshis and either of them ever engrossed in dharmika kaaryaas like yagjnas with mutual cooperation. Then Manu and all of dharmapravakta brahmana-kshatrivottamaas having noticed the specilalities and deficiencis of each other had set up the chaurvarna vyavastha. Thus in the Treta Yuga, the 'varnaashrama dharma pradhaana vidhana' gained populatity. adharmah pādam ekam tu pātayat pṛthivītale, adharmeṇa hi samyuktās tena mandābhavan dvijāḥ/ tataḥ prāduṣkṛtam pūrvam āyuşaḥ pariniṣṭhitam, śubhāny evācaraml lokāḥ satyadharmaparāyaṇāḥ/ tretāyuge tv avartanta brāhmanāh ksatriyas ca ye, tapo 'tapyanta te sarve susrūsām apare janāh/ sa dharmah paramas tesām vaiśyaśūdram athāgamat, pūjām ca sarvavarnānām śūdrāś cakrur viśesatah/Then the norms of dharmaadharma became popular in the passage of time. Eventually as the subsequent stage of the 'dwiteeya paada' of treta yuga itself the density of adharma heralded the arrival of dwaapara yuga in the kaala maana or the passage of the Time Cycle. Purushottama! During the Dwapara Yuga - which litertally is a gateway to pure enough dharmna and the precints of adharma - would eventually arrive .tasmin dvāparasamkhyāte tapo vaiśyān samāviśat, na śūdro labhate dharmam ugram taptam nararsabha/ hīnavarno naraśrestha tapyate sumahat tapah, bhavisyā śūdrayonyām hi tapaścaryā kalau yuge/adharmah paramo rāma dvāpare śūdradhāritah, sa vai visayaparyante tava rājan mahātapāh, śūdras tapyati durbuddhis tena bālavadho hy ayam/ yo hy adharmam akāryam vā viṣaye pārthivasya hi, karoti rājaśārdūla pure vā durmatir narah, ksipram hi narakam vāti sa ca rājā na samśavah/ In the dwapara yuga therefore the eligibility of dharma karyaacharana would henceforth be accorded to Vaishyas two as 'dwijas' or the twice born before and after yagjnopa dharana vidhi. But despite the passage of time from the Satya- Treta-Dwaparas, the varnaashrama vyavatha denied the eligibility of dharmaachatana as prescribed in the Scriptures to the heena varga. Maha Raja! therefore, decidedly only if a mind- distorted 'heena varga manushya would infringe this established principle and take to the dharmika tapasya as per Scriptures then that low class person would deserve retribution. BUT NOT OTHERWISE. Therfore thi Vriddha Brahmana should be blessed with and his young son's death be reversed. The Scriptures assure that a King would administer his praja on the truthful dhaarmika pravritti would be eligible to one sixth of his the 'praja janita shubha karma phala'Hence please spend a part of that punya and ensure if there were any 'neecha jaati' person performing the kind of 'dhatmika tapasva' which would be considered as a 'dushkarma'. sa tvam puruṣaśārdūla mārgasva viṣayam svakam, duşkrtam yatra paśyethās tatra yatnam samācara/ evam te dharmavrddhiś ca nṛṇām cāyurvivardhanam, bhavisyati naraśrestha bālasyāsya ca jīvitam/ Therefore Puruaha Shardula! Seek to locate in your Rama Rajya at once if a low class citizen were to be performing a 'dharmika tapsya' as prescribed in the Sacred Scriptures, and hence this 'akaala marana' as retribution of Natural Justice. Once that ineligible tapasya is stopped, then suterly this dead brahmana boy should get his life revived, by utilising the King's one sixth portion of the totality of the Ayodhya Praja's dharmaacharana! '

[Vishleshana on a) Yuga Dharmas and b) Chaturvarna Vyavastha as per Manu Smriti

a) During Krita Yuga Dharma and Truth certainly run on four feet as in the case of a 'Go Maata', since those exceptional practitioners of Adharma neither attain prosperity nor fulfillment of Life. But the predominance of Dharma gradually gets distorted over the subsequent Yugas of Treta-Dwapara-Kali

Yugas and untruthfulness or falsity, and dominance of 'Arishad Vargas' of Kaama, Krodha, Lobha, Moha, Mada, Matsaras or excessive desires, anger/ego, avarice, anger, infatuation, and envy, thus affecting the proportions of two thirds, half, and quarter in the respective yugas. During the Satya Yuga, there was fulfillment all around due to excellent health, longevity, affluence, success; invariably the Life Span was of 400 human years, but in the subsequent Yugas the span had been 300, 200, and 100 years maximum; in fact the phase wise longevity dwindled from 100, 75, 50 and hardly 25 in Kali yuga's first-second, third and fourth 'Paadas'as described in Puranas. As per the evolution of Yugas, human beings tend to dissipate the intensity of Dharma from the Satya-Treta-Dwapara-Kali Yugas. During Krita Yuga, 'Tapas' was the principal way of Life, in Treta Yuga significance is accorded to 'Jnaana' or Acquisition of Knowledge, in Dwapara Yuga, sifnificance is attached to Yagjnas and Sacrifices or Austerities, but in Kali Yuga it is the aspect of 'Daana' or sincere charity that is emphasised; this is obviously due to the incapability of Human Beings acquiring true knowledge, nor observe 'karma kanda' but atleast perform charitable deeds.

b) Maha Tejasvi Prajapati of the Universe created Chatur Varnas of Brahmana-Kshatriya-Vaishyetaraas and defined their duties. As regards the functions and obligations of Brahmanas, these are enumerated as six viz. Acquisition of Knowledge, Teaching and Training, Performing Yaginas and Teaching other Brahmanas to perform, and giving and accepting Daanaas or Charities. Kshatriyas are duty bound to provide Security to the Society and the Public, providing charity, organising yagina karyas, and conducting just and impartial administration. Vaishyas are required to promote Industry, and Trading, bestowing charities, providing loans and agriculture and allied business activities. Persons of the fourth caste of the Society were assigned the duty of service to the Society. Since it is stated that human beings who were born above the Creator's navel were superior to other species, Swayambhu Prajapati decided to create Brahmanas from His face, as they are expected to observe and propagate Dharma by their intense knowledge and of the nuances of Virtue and Justice; they are also duty bound to despatch 'havyakavyas' to Devas and Pitru Devas respectively; Devatas like Vaayu and Pitru Devatas are the recipients by way of Yagina Karyas performed essentially by 'Mantras' aloud by their mouths or from within by thier tongues. Brahmanas are also the custodians of Dharma and Divine Knowledge as also of life long agents of Dharma. Indeed, as human race is the best of all Beings of 'Sthaavara Jangamas', the outstanding persons of Brahmanas are the repositories of intellect and it is only through them alone that 'Dharma Prachaara' is possible due to their austerities. The Chaturvidha 'Jeevanaakaankshas' or the four fold objectives of Life's total fullfillment viz. 'Dharma- Artha- Kaama- Mokshas 'are possible only the category of 'Dwijas' or the twice-born indeed; once having been given birth as Brahmanas, the second and equally significant second birth is that by of Devi Gayatri and of one's own father as the Guru. On this count the twice born one's viz. Brahmana-Kshatriya-Vaishyas too are as important becoming eligible after the 'Upanayana Samskaara' and of Gayatri Upadesha. Thus the Dwijas are all well qualified to observe the full range of 'Brahmana Kartavyas' including Brahma Yagina.

Sargas Seventy Five and Seventy Six

As per Narada's advice, Rama by pushpaka searched for a low class tapasvi performing vedokta tapasya and found one Shambuka doing 'devatva vaanchha tapasya', killed him to revive vipra baalaka's life.

Nāradasya tu tad vākyam śrutvāmṛtamayam yathā, praharṣam atulam lebhe lakṣmaṇam cedam abravīt/ gaccha saumya dvijaśreṣṭham samāśvāsaya lakṣmaṇa, bālasya ca śarīram tat tailadroṇyām nidhāpaya/ gandhaiś ca paramodārais tailaiś ca susugandhibhiḥ, yathā na kṣīyate bālas tathā saumya vidhīyatām/ yathā śarīre bālasya guptasyākliṣṭakarmaṇaḥ, vipattiḥ paribhedo vā bhaven na ca tathā kuru/ tathā samdiśya kākutstho lakṣmaṇam śubhalakṣaṇam, manasā puṣpakam dadhyāv āgaccheti mahāyaśāḥ/ ingitam sa tu vijñāya puṣpako hemabhūṣitaḥ, ājagāma muhūrtena sampīpam rāghavasya vai/ so 'bravīt praṇato bhūtvā ayam asmi narādhipa, vaśyas tava mahābāho kimkaraḥ samupasthitaḥ/ bhāṣitam ruciram śrutvā puṣpakasya narādhipaḥ, abhivādya maharṣīs tān vimānam so 'dhyarohata/ dhanur gṛhītvā tūṇīm ca khagdam ca ruciraprabham, nikṣipya nagare vīrau saumitribharatāv ubhau/ prāyāt pratīcīm sa marūn

vicinvam's ca samantataḥ, uttarām agamac chrīmān diśam himavadāvrtam/ apaśyamānas tatrāpi svalpam apy atha duṣkrtam, pūrvām api diśam sarvām athāpaśyan narādhipaḥ/ dakṣiṇām diśam ākrāmat tato rājarṣinandanaḥ, śaivalasyottare pārśve dadarśa sumahat saraḥ/ tasmin sarasi tapyantam tāpasam sumahat tapaḥ, dadarśa rāghavaḥ śrīmām lambamānam adho mukham/ athainam samupāgamya tapyantam tapa uttamam, uvāca rāghavo vākyam dhanyas tvam asi suvrata/ kasyām yonyām tapovrddhavartase drḍhavikrama, kautūhalāt tvām prcchāmi rāmo dāśarathir hy aham/ manīṣitas te ko nv arthaḥ svargalābho varāśrayaḥ, yam aśritya tapas taptam śrotum icchāmi tāpasa/ brāhmaṇo vāsi bhadram te kṣatriyo vāsi durjayaḥ, vaiśyo vā yadi vā śūdraḥ satyam etad bravīhi me/

As Brahmarshi Narada assured of the revival of the dead 'vipra baalaka', Shri Rama felt mighty relieved and happy. He asked Lakshmana to have the body of the boy duly anointed with 'sugandha yukta taila nimajjana' and asked for the 'puspaka vimaana'. Having touched the feet of the Maharshis who appeared in the Rama Raja Sabha assuring that the Brahnana balaka's body would come alive provided a low caste tapasvi be located in his kingdom and reprimanded, Shri Rama ascended the pushpaka vimana, while asking Bharata Lakshmana's to take over the duty of 'nagara raksha.' Then having been armed with his dhanush baanaas and ayudhas he searched foremost the pashchima disha of his Rajya and reached the uttara disha which was surrounded by the mountain range of Himalayas. Having not spotted any indication of a 'nimna jaati taapasvi', Rama directed the Pushpaka towards the eastern disha and there too there was none engaged in deep tapasya, exceptong in the well renouned Muni Ashramas. daksinām diśam ākrāmat tato rājarşinandanah, śaivalasyottare pārśve dadarśa sumahat sarah/ tasmin sarasi tapyantam tāpasam sumahat tapaḥ, dadarśa rāghavaḥ śrīmāml lambamānam adho mukham/ athainam samupāgamya tapyantam tapa uttamam, uvāca rāghavo vākyam dhanyas tvam asi suvrata/ Then Dasharatha Nandana Raghunaadha directed his pushpaka vimana to follow the southern course of his Kingdom. There he spotted a tapsvi totally engrossed in deep tapasya with his head and chin down. He descended the pushpaka and addressed the tapasvi, having intimated as to who was he being the King of Ayodhya. Rama addressed the tapasvi: 'Tapodhana! May you be blessed for performing such deep 'tapasya'; if I am not too inquisitive, who are you! kasyām yonyām tapovrddhavartase drdhavikrama, kautūhalāt tvām prechāmi rāmo dāśarathir hv aham/ manīsitas te ko nv arthah svargalābho varāśravah. vam aśritya tapas taptam śrotum icchāmi tāpasa/ brāhmano vāsi bhadram te ksatriyo vāsi durjayah, vaiśyo vā yadi vā śūdraḥ satyam etad bravīhi me/ Of which of the 'chatur varnaas' do you belong to as you really perhaps not like a 'dwija'! Indeed the severity and commitment that I find in your tapassya would appear to be unusual and even odd! Are you a vipravara, or a kshatriya, or a vanijya pramukha!' As King Raghu Rama insisted, the 'taapasi' replied hesitatingly...

Tasya tadvacanam śrutvā rāmasyāklistakarmanah, avākśirās tathābhūto vākyam etad uvāca ha/ śūdrayonyām prasūto 'smi tapa ugram samāsthitah, devatvam prārthaye rāma saśarīro mahāyaśah/ na mithyāham vade rājan devalokajigīṣayā, śūdram mām viddhi kākutstha śambūkam nāma nāmataḥ/ bhāsatas tasva śūdrasva khadgam suruciraprabham, niskrsva kośād vimalam śiraś ciccheda rāghavah/ tasmin muhūrte bālo 'sau jīvena samayujyata, tato 'gastyāśramapadam rāmaḥ kamalalocanaḥ, sa gatvā vinayenaiva tam natvā mumude sukhī/ so 'bhivādya mahātmānam jvalantam iva tejasā, ātithyam paramam prāpya nisasāda narādhipah/ tam uvāca mahātejāh kumbhayonir mahātapāh, svāgatam te naraśrestha distyā prāpto 'si rāghava/ tvam me bahumato rāma gunair bahubhir uttamaih, atithih pūjanīyas ca māma rājan hṛdi sthitah surā hi kathayanti tvām āgatam sūdraghātinam, brāhmanasya tu dharmena tvayā jīvāpitah sutah/ uṣyatām ceha rajanīm sakāśe mama rāghava, prabhāte puṣpakeṇa tvam gantā svapuram eva hi/idam cābharaṇam saumya nirmitam viśvakarmaṇā, divyam divyena vapuṣā dīpyamānam svatejasā, pratigrhņīsva kākutstha matpriyam kuru rāghava/ dattasya hi punar dānam sumahat phalam ucyate, tasmāt pradāsye vidhivat tat pratīccha nararṣabha/ tad rāmaḥ pratijagrāha munes tasya mahātmanah, divyam ābharanam citram pradīptam iva bhāskaram/ pratigrhya tato rāmas tad ābharanam uttamam, āgamam tasya divyasya prastum evopacakrame/ atyadbhutam idam brahman vapuṣā yuktam uttamam, katham bhagavatā prāptam kuto vā kena vāhrtam/ kutūhalatayā brahman

pṛcchāmi tvām mahāyaśaḥ, āścaryāṇām bahūnām hi nidhiḥ paramako bhavān/ evam bruvati kākutsthe munir vākyam athābravīt, śṛṇu rāma yathāvṛttam purā tretāyuge gate/

As King Shri Rama himself confronted the taapasvi, he pulled his head down and in a low and rather ashamed face muttered: śūdrayonyām prasūto 'smi tapa ugram samāsthitah, devatvam prārthaye rāma saśarīro mahāyaśaḥ/ na mithyāham vade rājan devalokajigīṣayā, śūdram mām viddhi kākutstha śambūkam nāma nāmataḥ/ bhāṣatas tasya śūdrasya khaḍgam suruciraprabham, niṣkṛṣya kośād vimalam śiraś ciccheda rāghayah/ Maha Raja! I am actually of the low caste of the 'chaturyaranas' and my ambition would be to reach and attain swarga with my existing physical bodily existence. Kakutstha kula bhushana! Do kindly accept my self confession. My deep and crucial desire is to humble Deva Loka and my ambition is to defame the Indra Loka. My mind might be distorted but my determination is firm and unshakable. That is precisely why I am resiting to this ghora tapasya; be it well known that I am proud name is Shudra Shambuka!' As such arrogant reply was heard, Shri Rama got furious pulled out his shining sharp from his waist 'kosha' and slashed Shambuka mastaka. As Shambuka's head rolled off on earth, Deva Gandharvaadi Celstials raised 'harsha ninaadaas' while Rama requested Indra Deva as follows: 'Mahendra! As all the Devaadi celestials are overjoyed, my genuine and well justified boon by kindly gtanted to revive the life of the dead balaka lying at the door step of my Rajya Sabha!' Indra Deva smiled and assured: Shri Rama! Be contented now. The brahmana baalaka is aleady up and alive and right now is meeting his bandhu janaas already and disappeared. tasmin muhūrte bālo 'sau jīvena sama yujyata, tato 'gastyāśramapadam rāmah kamalalocanah, sa gatvā vinayenaiva tam natvā mumude sukhī/ so 'bhivādya mahātmānam įvalantam iva tejasā, ātithyam paramam prāpya niṣasāda narādhipaḥ/ tam uvāca mahātejāh kumbhayonir mahātapāh, svāgatam te naraśrestha distyā prāpto 'si rāghava/The moment the Shambuka was made into pieces, it was at that very moment the vipra balaka stood up alive. Rama! Now I suggest that you may like to now visit ahead Agasthyaashrama now. Then Rama nodded his hear to Indra Deva and instructed the pushpaka vimana to reach Kumbhaja Rishi Agastya. Then Maha Muni Agastya welcomed Rama: tvam me bahumato rāma gunair bahubhir uttamaih, atithih pūjanīyaś ca māma rājan hṛdi sthitaḥ/ surā hi kathayanti tvām āgatam śūdraghātinam, brāhmaṇasya tu dharmeṇa tvayā jīvāpitah sutah/ usvatām ceha rajanīm sakāśe mama rāghaya, prabhāte puspakena tyam gantā svapuram eva hi/Your gesture to visit my ashram is truly appreaciable. Kindly spend this night here. You are indeed like 'saakshaat' like Shriman Narayana. You have just now slashed off the adharma paraayana Shambuka and saved the life of the Vipra putra! Do kindly accept these 'aabharanaas' too which should add further dazzle to what you are already wearing as they were the prized ones which Vishvakarma had manifested. These ornaments are worthy of personality of your standing only.' As the Maharshi endeared Rama, he said: 'Maharshi! the established convention had been that Kshatriya Kings should offer 'daanaas' to pandita brahmanas of vastu-kanakaabharanas but not the other way around! Instantly Agastya explianed: 'Raghu nandana! In the past Satya yuga, there was no concept of Kingships as the 'praja' by themselves were of supremacy and freedom. But subsequently, in the 'tretaa yuga' the convention changed as Indra was the first ever Tri Loka Prabhu. Then Indra asked select prajas to become Devas and thus he became Devendra. Indra distributed his kingship duties of Prithivi, Aapas, Tejas, Vayu and Akasha. As this type of distribution of duties to select Devatas, Brahma had a Kshupa or what one would call a 'Chheek' or Sneeze and then that Kshupa became the foremost King on Earth! Thus Varuna as a part of Indra's tejas looked after the physical part of the Prajas, Kubera of the dhana prapti, and Yama Raja the duty of 'danda' or retribution of deeds and misdeeds. Now, Shri Rama! These aabharanaas are of 'Indra Sambandha' and are worthy of your kind acceptance!' Shri Rama was overawed by the justification of the Maharshi Agastya offerings of the divyaabharanas, as the Maharshi further enlightened of the happenings in the on going Treta Yuga too further!

Sargas Seventy Seven and Seventy Eight

As Shri Rama accepted the divyaabharanas from Agasthya Maharshi, the latter explained how and why those aabharanas were gifted to him by a dead king as had to resort to 'shava bhakshana' was relieved.

Purā tretāvuge hy āsīd aranyam bahuvistaram, samantād yojanaśatam nirmrgam paksivarjitam tasmin nirmānuse 'raņye kurvāṇas tapa uttamam, aham ākramitum saumya tad araṇyam upāgamam/ tasya rūpam aranyasya nirdestum na śaśāka ha, phalamūlaih sukhāsvādair bahurūpaiś ca pādapaih/ tasvāranvasva madhve tu saro vojanam āvatam, padmotpalasamākīrnam samatikrāntaśaivalam/ tad āścaryam ivātyartham sukhāsvādam anuttamam, arajaskam tathākṣobhyam śrīmatpakṣigaṇāyutam/ tasmin saraḥsamīpe tu mahad adbhutam āśramam, purāṇam puṇyam atyartham tapasvijanavarjitam/ tatrāham avasam rātrim naidāghīm purusarsabha, prabhāte kālvam utthāva saras tad upacakrame/ athāpaśyam śavam tatra supustam ajaram kva cit, tisthantam parayā laksmyā tasmims toyāśaye nrpa/tam artham cintayāno 'ham muhūrtam tatra rāghaya, visthito 'smi sarastīre kim ny idam syād iti prabho/ athāpaśyam muhūrtāt tu divyam adbhutadarśanam, vimānam paramodāram hamsayuktam manojavam/ atyartham svarginam tatra vimāne raghunandana, upāste 'psarasām vīra sahasram divyabhūsanam, gānti geyāni ramyāni vādayanti tathāparāḥ/ paśyato me tadā rāma vimānād avaruhya ca, tam śavam bhakṣayām āsa sa svargī raghunandana/ tato bhuktvā yathākāmam māmsam bahu ca suṣṭhu ca, avatīrya sarah svargī samsprastum upacakrame/ upaspršva vathānvāvam sa svargī purusarsabha, ārodhum upacakrāma vimānavaram uttamam/ tam aham devasamkāsam ārohantam udīkṣya vai, athāham abruvam vākyam tam eva puruṣarṣabha/ko bhavān devasamkāśa āhāraś ca vigarhitaḥ, tvayāyam bhujyate saumya kim kartham vaktum arhasi/ āścaryam īdrśo bhāvo bhāsvaro devasammatah, āhāro garhitah saumya śrotum icchāmi tattvatah/

Bhuktvā tu bhāṣitam vākyam mama rāma śubhākṣaram, prāñjaliḥ pratyuvācedam sa svargī raghunandana/śṛṇu brahman yathāvṛttam mamaitat sukhaduḥkhayoḥ, duratikramaṇīyam hi yathā prcchasi mām dvija/ purā vaidarbhako rājā pitā mama mahāyaśāh, sudeva iti vikhyātas trisu lokesu vīryavān/ tasya putradvayam brahman dvābhyām strībhyām ajāyata, aham śveta iti khyāto yavīyān suratho 'bhavat/ tatah pitari svaryāte paurā mām abhyasecayan, tatrāham kṛtavān rājyam dharmena susamāhitaḥ/ evam varṣasahasrāṇi samatītāni suvrata, rājyam kārayato brahman prajā dharmeṇa rakṣataḥ/so 'ham nimitte kasmim's cid vijñātāyur dvijottama, kāladharmam hṛdi nyasya tato vanam upāgamam/ so 'ham vanam idam durgam mrgapaksivivariitam, tapaś cartum pravisto 'smi samīpe sarasah subhe/ bhrātaram suratham rājve abhisicya narādhipam, idam sarah samāsādva tapas taptam mayā ciram/ so 'ham varşasahasrāṇi tapas trīṇi mahāmune, taptvā suduşkaram prāpto brahmalokam anuttamam/ tato mām svargasamstham vai ksutpipāse dvijottama, bādhete paramodāra tato 'ham vyathitendriyah/ gatvā tribhuvanaśrestham pitāmaham uvāca ha, bhagavan brahmaloko 'yam ksutpipāsāvivarjitah/ kasyeyam karmanah prāptih ksutpipāsāvaśo 'smi yat, āhārah kaś ca me deva tan me brūhi pitāmaha/ pitāmahas tu mām āha tavāhārah sudevaja, svādūni svāni māmsāni tāni bhaksaya nityaśah/ svaśarīram tvayā pustam kurvatā tapa uttamam, anuptam rohate śveta na kadā cin mahāmate/ dattam na te 'sti sūksmo 'pi vane sattvanisevite, tena svargagato vatsa bādhyase kṣutpipāsayā/ sa tvam supuştam āhāraiḥ svaśarīram anuttamam, bhakṣayasvāmṛtarasam sā te tṛptir bhaviṣyati/ yadā tu tad vanam sveta agastyah sumahān rsih, ākramisvati durdharsas tadā krcchād vimoksvase/ sa hi tāravitum saumya śaktah suraganān api, kim punas tvām mahābāho ksutpipāsāvaśam gatam/ so 'ham bhagavatah śrutvā devadevasya niścayam, āhāram garhitam kurmi svaśarīram dvijottama/ bahūn varṣagaṇān brahman bhujyamānam idam mayā, ksayam nābhyeti brahmarse tṛptiś cāpi mamottamā/ tasya me kṛcchrabhūtasya kṛcchrād asmād vimoksaya, anyesām agatir hy atra kumbhayonim ṛte dvijam/ idam ābharanam saumya tāranārtham dvijottama, pratigrhnīsva brahmarse prasādam kartum arhasi/ tasyāham svargiņo vākyam śrutvā duḥkhasamanvitam, tāraṇāyopajagrāha tad ābharaṇam uttamam/ mayā pratigrhīte tu tasminn ābharaņe śubhe, mānuṣaḥ pūrvako deho rājarṣeḥ sa nanāśa ha/ pranaṣṭe tu śarīre 'sau rājarşih parayā mudā, tṛptah pramudito rājā jagāma tridivam punah tenedam śakratulyena divyam ābharanam mama, tasmin nimitte kākutstha dattam adbhutadarsanam/

Aagstya Maha Muni then explained to Shri Rama that in earlier part of the Treta Yuga there a 'vistruta vana' of hundred yojanas square which neither had of Pashus nor of Pakshis. Then Agastya located that mahavana whih was replete with vriksha-puspha-phala sampada and felt ideal for tapasya. He had

eventually located yojana square sarovara with jala pakshis like chakravaaka- hamsaas with lotus islands. Moved by the tranquility of the place, the Maha Muni desired to locate a place for conrtructing an ashram and meanwhile he located an ashram already. But that ashram was totally empty. He readied himself to bathe in the sarovara but spotted a dead body! He then heard the approaching sounds of a vimana landing on the banks of the sarovara and found apsarasa kanyas on thousands with glittering aabharanaas. They rested there and initiated a series of singing and dancing sessions. As the apsarasaas having thoroughly enjoyed theit outing had since left away. There after arrived a celestial purushsa descended from the high skies and performed the 'shava bhakshana' and having washed his hands and feet had consumed the sarovara janaas, and got readied for his departure by his pushpaka vimana. Then Agastya Muni was confounded in his thoughts and dared to ask the Vimana Purusha! ko bhavān devasamkāśa āhāraś ca vigarhitaḥ, tvayāyam bhujyate saumya kim kartham vaktum arhasi/āścaryam īdṛśo bhāvo bhāsvaro devasammatah, āhāro garhitah saumya śrotum icchāmi tattvataḥ/Soumya! Devopama Purusha! May I venture to ascertain as to who are you indeed! How is it that you had just concluded the eating of the deadbody flesh! I am truly puzzled at seeing this strangest scene! Would it be possible to very kindly explain this strange and uncommon incident!

Sarga Seventy Eight continues:

Agastya Maha Muni continued his interesting narration to Shri Rama: 'The celestial purusha explained to me thus- 'Brahmanottama! Your kind question for which you are expecting me of a truthful reply would be close to my heart and its experiences of sukha duhkhaas alike: 'My dear and respected father was the King of Vidarbha named Sudeva who was well reputed in his contemporary world. He had two wives and their sons, one happened to me as by the name of Sweta the elder and my younger brother was named Suratha. As the father passed away, I as the elder son had successfully ruled the kingdom for some thousand years theresince. Then I had handed over the Kingdom to Suratha and performed tapasya and accomplished Brahma Loka. But to my dismay I was experiencing hunger and thirst very strangely. Then my physique had pangs repetitively. I approached Brahma Deva and explained my predicament. Brahma then replied to me as follows: pitāmahas tu mām āha tavāhārah sudevaja, svādūni svāni māmsāni tāni bhaksaya nityaśah/ syaśarīram tyayā pustam kuryatā tapa uttamam, anuptam rohate śveta na kadā cin mahāmate/ dattam na te 'sti sūkṣmo 'pi vane sattvaniṣevite, tena svargagato vatsa bādhyase ksutpipāsayā/ sa tvam supustam āhāraih svaśarīram anuttamam, bhaksayasvāmrtarasam sā te trptir bhavişyati/Pitamaha Brahma then explained to me: 'Sudeva nandana! You should daily visit bhuloka and satisfy your pangs of hunger and thirst and that would be your daily sustenance. While you were performing excellent tapasya for long time, you had only taken ample care of your own needs of hunger and thirst but nevet thought of 'daanaas' to the needy around you ever, even while being rich enough as a former King! Further neve performed naivedyas to Devas nor 'jalochita tarpnas' to Pitru Devatas ever engaged in selfish and deerghakaala tapasya just for your own personal advantage ignoring the ever expecting bhuk-pyaasa janaas'. Your own body was all the same looked after by 'naanaa vidha bhakshya bhojya paaneeyaas' sumptuously and lavishly. Therfore you should have to satisfy with 'shava bhakshana' at a secluded and appointed place and the requirement of quenching the need of thirst there near. yadā tu tad vanam śveta agastyah sumahān rsih, ākramisyati durdharsas tadā krcchād vimoksyase/ sa hi tārayitum saumya śaktah suraganān api, kim punas tvām mahābāho ksutpipāsāvaśam gatam/ so 'ham bhagavatah śrutvā devadevasya niścayam, āhāram garhitam kurmi svaśarīram dvijottama/ bahūn varşaganān brahman bhujyamānam idam mayā, kṣayam nābhyeti brahmarṣe tṛptiś cāpi mamottamā/ Further Brahm Deva assured the King that once the durdhashya Maharshi Agastya should visit this 'parama shanti vana' and bless you the fullfillment of your hunger and thirst problem, then only you would be assured of true brahma loka prapti to be qualified.' Having explained as above, King Sudeva addessed Agastya further: idam ābharanam saumya tāranārtham dvijottama, pratigrhnīsva brahmarse prasādam kartum arhasi/ tasyāham svargino vākyam śrutvā duhkhasamanvitam, tāranāyopajagrāha tad ābharanam uttamam/ mayā pratigrhīte tu tasminn ābharaņe śubhe, mānuṣaḥ pūrvako deho rājarṣeḥ sa nanāśa ha/ 'Soumya Viprayara! May you be blessed by the Almighty! You have arrived here for my

sake alone to solve my several years long of Brahma Vachanas. You have liberated me and am daring to offer you as my liberator these celestial aabharanaas for your very kind acceptance. Brahmarsi! These divyaabhushanas would yield 'suvarna-dhana-vastra-bhakshya bhogyas and ananya prati aabharanaas' further. Muni shreshtha! These aabharanaas would provide 'samasta kaamnaa mano vaancchita bhogas' to their recipients.' As the King handed over the 'aabharanaas', the dead body which the King had been eating and surviving all those years had vanished as the king had retuned to brahma loka for ever.

Sargas Seventy Nine, Eighty, Eighty One and Eighty Two

Agastya explains origin of Ikshvaaku Putras- youngest son Danda's Rajya with Purohita Shukracharya-Danda's manabhanga of Acharya putri- Acharya's shaapa of Danda Rajya since turned as dandakaranya-Rama returns back to Ayodhya from Agastyaashrama

Tad adbhutatamam vākyam śrutvāgastyasya rāghavah, gauravād vismayāc caiva bhūyah prastum pracakrame/ bhagayams tad yanam ghoram tapas tapyati yatra sah, sveto yaidarbhako rājā katham tad amṛgadvijam/ niḥsattvam ca vanam jātam śūnyam manujavarjitam, tapaś cartum praviṣṭaḥ sa śrotum icchāmi tattvataḥ/rāmasya bhāṣitam śrutvā kautūhalasamanvitam, vākyam paramatejasvī vaktum evopacakrame/ purā kṛtayuge rāma manur dandadharah prabhuh, tasya putro mahān āsīd iksvākuh kulavardhanah/tam putram pūrvake rājye niksipya bhuvi durjayam, pṛthivyām rājavamśānām bhava kartety uvāca ha/ tatheti ca pratijñātam pituh putreņa rāghava, tatah paramasamhrsto manuh punar uvāca ha/ prīto 'smi paramodārakartā cāsi na samsayaḥ, daṇḍena ca prajā rakṣa mā ca daṇḍam akārane/ aparādhişu yo dandah pātyate mānavesu vai, sa dando vidhivan muktah svargam nayati pārthivam/ tasmād dande mahābāho yatnavān bhava putraka, dharmo hi paramo loke kurvatas te bhavisyati/ iti tam bahu samdiśya manuh putram samādhinā, jagāma tridivam hṛsto brahmalokam anuttamam/ prayāte tridive tasminn iksvākur amitaprabhah, janavisye katham putrān iti cintāparo 'bhavat/ karmabhir bahurūpaiś ca tais tair manusutah sutān, janayām āsa dharmātmā śatam devasutopamān/ teṣām avarajas tāta sarveṣām raghunandana, mūḍhaś cākṛtividyaś ca na śuśrūṣati pūrvajān/ nāma tasva ca dandeti pitā cakre 'lpatejasah, avaśvam dandapatanam śarīre 'sva bhavisvati/ sa paśyamānas tam dosam ghoram putrasya rāghava, vindhyaśaiyalayor madhye rājyam prādād arimdama/ sa daṇḍas tatra rājābhūd ramye parvatarodhasi, puram cāpratimam rāma nyaveśayad anuttamam/ purasya cākaron nāma madhumantam iti prabho, purohitam cośanasam varayām āsa suvratam/ evam sa rājā tad rājyam kārayat sapurohitah, prahrstamanujākīrnam devarājyam yathā divi/

Etad ākhyāya rāmāya maharsih kumbhasambhavah, asyām evāparam vākyam kathāyām upacakrame/ tatah sa dandah kākutstha bahuvarṣagaṇāyutam, akarot tatra mandātmā rājyam nihatakanṭakam/ atha kāle tu kasmims cid rājā bhārgavam āsramam, ramanīyam upākrāmac caitre māsi manorame/tatra bhārgavakanyām sa rūpenāpratimām bhuvi, vicarantīm vanoddeśe daņdo 'paśyad anuttamām/sa drstvā tām sudurmedhā anangaśarapīditah, abhigamva susamvignah kanvām vacanam abravīt/ kutas tvam asi suśroni kasya vāsi sutā śubhe, pīdito 'ham anangena prcchāmi tvām sumadhyame/ tasya tv evam bruvāṇasya mohonmattasya kāminaḥ, bhārgavī pratyuvācedam vacaḥ sānunayam nṛpam/ bhārgavasya sutām viddhi devasyāklistakarmanah, arajām nāma rājendra jyesthām āśramavāsinīm/ guruh pitā me rājendra tvam ca śisyo mahātmanah, vyasanam sumahat kruddhah sa te dadyān mahātapāh/ yadi vātra mayā kāryam dharmadrstena satpathā, varayasva nṛpa śrestha pitaram me mahādyutim/ anyathā tu phalam tubhyam bhaved ghorābhisamhitam, krodhena hi pitā me 'sau trailokyam api nirdahet/ evam bruvāṇām arajām daṇḍaḥ kāmaśarārditaḥ, pratyuvāca madonmattaḥ śirasy ādhāya so 'ñjalim/ prasādam kuru suśroni na kālam kṣeptum arhasi, tvatkṛte hi mama prāṇā vidīryante śubhānane/ tvām prāpya hi vadho vāpi pāpam vāpi sudāruņam, bhaktam bhajasva mām bhīru bhajamānam suvihvalam/ evam uktvā tu tām kanyām dorbhyām grhya balād balī, visphurantīm yathākāmam maithunāyopacakrame/ tam anartham mahāghoram dandah kṛtvā sudārunam, nagaram prayayau cāśu madhumantam anuttamam/ arajāpi rudantī sā āśramasyāvidūratah pratīkṣate susamtrastā pitaram devasamnibham/

idam ābharaṇam saumya tāraṇārtham dvijottama, pratigṛhṇīṣva brahmarṣe prasādam kartum arhasi/ tasyāham svargiṇo vākyam śrutvā duḥkhasamanvitam, tāraṇāyopajagrāha tad ābharaṇam uttamam/ mayā pratigṛhīte tu tasminn ābharaṇe śubhe, mānuṣaḥ pūrvako deho rājarṣeḥ sa nanāśa ha/ pranaṣṭe tu śarīre 'sau rājarṣiḥ parayā mudā, tṛptaḥ pramudito rājā jagāma tridivam punaḥ/ tenedam śakratulyena divyam ābharanam mama, tasmin nimitte kākutstha dattam adbhutadarśanam/

Sa muhūrtād upaśrutya devarşir amitaprabhah, svam āśramam śiṣya vṛtah kṣudhārtah saṃnyavartata/ so 'paśyad arajām dīnām rajasā samabhiplutām, jyotsnām ivāruņagrastām pratyūse na virājatīm/ tasya rosah samabhavat ksudhārtasya viśesatah, nirdahann iva lokāms trīñ śisyāms cedam uvāca ha/ paśyadhvam viparītasya daṇḍasyāviditātmanaḥ, vipattim ghorasamkāśām kruddhām agniśikhām iva./ ksayo 'sya durmateh prāptah sānugasya durātmanah, yah pradīptām hutāśasya śikhām vai sprastum icchati/ yasmāt sa kṛtavān pāpam īdṛśaṁ ghoradarśanam, tasmāt prāpsyati durmedhāḥ phalaṁ pāpasya karmaṇaḥ/ saptarātreṇa rājāsau sabhrtyabalavāhanaḥ, pāpakarmasamācāro vadham prāpsyati durmatiḥ/ samantād yojanaśatam viṣayam cāsya durmateḥ, dhakṣyate pāmsuvarṣeṇa mahatā pākaśāsanah/ sarvasattvāni vānīha sthāvarāni carāni ca, mahatā pāṃsuvarsena nāśaṃ vāsvanti sarvaśah/ dandasya vişayo yāvat tāvat sarvasamucchrayah, pāmsubhuta ivālaksyah saptarātrād bhavişyati/ity uktvā krodhasamtapas tam āśramanivāsinam, janam janapadānteşu sthīyatām iti cābravīt/ śrutvā tūśasano vākyam sa āśramāvasatho janah, niskrānto visayāt tasya sthānam cakre 'tha bāhyatah/ sa tathoktvā munijanam arajām idam abravīt, ihaiva vasa durmedhe āśrame susamāhitā/ idam yojanaparyantam sarah suruciraprabham, araje vijvarā bhunkṣva kālaś cātra pratīkṣyatām/ tvatsamīpe tu ye sattvā vāsam eşyanti tām niśām, avadhyāh pāmsuvarṣeṇa te bhaviṣyanti nityadā/ity uktvā bhārgavo vāsam anyatra samupākramat, saptāhād bhasmasādbhūtam yathoktam brahmavādinā/ tasyāsau daṇḍaviṣayo vindhyaśaivalasānuṣu, śapto brahmarṣiṇā tena purā vaidharmake kṛte/ tataḥ prabhṛti kākutstha dandakāranyam ucyate, tapasvinah sthitā yatra janasthānam atho 'bhavat./ etat te sarvam ākhyātam yan mām prechasi rāghava, samdhyām upāsitum vīra samayo hy ativartate/ ete maharsayah sarve pūrņakumbhāḥ samantataḥ, krtodako naravyāghra ādityam paryupāsate/ sa tair rṣibhir abhyastaḥ sahitair brahmasattamaih, ravir astam gato rāma gacchodakam upaspṛśa/

Rişer vacanam ājñāya rāmah samdhyām upāsitum, upākrāmat saraḥ punyam apsarobhir nişevitam/ tatrodakam upaspṛṣśya saṁdhyām anvāsya paścimām, āśramam prāviśad rāmaḥ kumbhayoner mahātmanah/ asyāgastyo bahugunam phalamūlam tathausadhīh, śākāni ca pavitrāni bhojanārtham akalpayat/sa bhuktavān naraśreṣṭhas tad annam amrtopamam, prītaś ca parituṣṭaś ca tām rātrim samupāvasat/ prabhāte kālyam utthāya krtvāhnikam arimdamah, rsim samabhicakrāma gamanāya raghūttamah/abhivādyābravīd rāmo maharsim kumbhasambhavam, āprcche tvām gamisyāmi mām anujñātum arhasi/dhanyo 'smy anugrhīto 'smi darśanena mahātmanah drastum caivāgamisyāmi pāvanārtham ihātmanaḥ/tathā vadati kākutsthe vākyam adbhutadarśanam, uvāca paramaprīto dharmanetras tapodhanaḥ/ atyadbhutam idam vākyam tava rāma śubhākṣaram, pāvanaḥ sarvalokānām tvam eva raghunandana/ muhūrtam api rāma tvām ye nu paśyanti ke cana, pāvitāh svargabhūtās te pūjyante divi daivataih, ye ca tvām ghoracaksurbhir īksante prānino bhuvi, hatās te yamadandena sadyo nirayagāminaḥ/ gaccha cāriṣṭam avyagraḥ panthānam akutobhayam, praśādhi rājyam dharmeṇa gatir hi jagato bhavān, evam uktas tu muninā prāñjaliḥ prpagraho nṛpaḥ/ abhyavādayata prājñas tam ṛṣim punyaśīlinam/ abhivādya muniśrestham tāmś ca sarvāms tapodhanān, adhyārohat tad avyagrah puşpakam hemabhūşitam/ tam prayāntam muniganā āśīrvādaih samantatah, apūjayan mahendrābham sahasrākṣam ivāmarāḥ/ svasthaḥ sa dadṛśe rāmaḥ puṣpake hemabhūṣite, śaśī meghasamīpastho yathā jaladharāgame/ tato 'rdhadivase prāpte pūjyamānas tatas tatah, ayodhyām prāpya kākutstho vimānād avarohata./ tato visrjya ruciram puspakam kāmagāminam, kaksyāntaraviniksiptam dvāhstham rāmo 'bravīd vacaḥ/ lakṣmaṇaṁ bharataṁ caiva gatvā tau laghuvikramau, mamāgamanam ākhyāya śabdāpaya ca mām ciram/

As Agastya Maha Muni explained about 'divyaabharanas', as to how the Vidarbha Desha King who did long tapsya despite ignoring daana dharmas had no doubt attained brahma loka yet could not overcome

his hunger and thirst and had to necessarily resort to 'shava bhakshana' daily, Shri Rama was highly excited and requested Agastya to describe far more about that enthusing narration Then the Maha Muni explained further: 'Shri Rama! This happening was of Satya Yuga when Manu Deva was administering bhu loka. There after arrived King Ikshvaaku whom Manu Deva desired to establish kingship under his and progeny's control till 'Treta Yugantara'. Manu hower cautioned with some do's and don't's. prīto 'smi paramodārakartā cāsi na samśayaḥ, daṇḍena ca prajā rakṣa mā ca daṇḍam akāraṇe/ aparādhiṣu yo daṇḍaḥ pātyate mānaveṣu vai, sa daṇḍo vidhivan muktaḥ svargam nayati pārthivam/ tasmād daṇḍe mahābāho yatnavān bhava putraka, dharmo hi paramo loke kurvatas te bhaviṣyati/ Manu advised Iksgvaku: 'No doubt you should establish the Raja Parampara of Ikshvaakus but by displaying the danda should not utilise it indiscriminately. Once the danda or punishments thereof were inappopiate and not as per established principles and well defined norms, then the kings would reach naraka loka or vice versa to swarga loka. Thus Manu Deva cautioned Ikshvaaku to strictly abide by the Manu Smriti. Manu Deva thus cautioned King Ikshvaku that danda prayoga must always weighed by a 'tulaa bhaara' or as of a sensitive balance. Having thus providing the do's and don't's, Manu Deva disappeared for Brahma loka

[Vishleshana on Manu Smriti reg. Aachara-Vyavahara-Prayaschittha Khandas]

Manu Smriti comprises three Khaandas or Branches viz. Aachara Khaanda, Vyavahara Khaanda, and Prayasthittha Khaanda. *Aachaara Khaanda* comprising twelve chapters describes Charurvarna Dharmas, Chaturaashrama Dharamas, Aahnika Vidhis or Daily Duties, Snaatakaadi grihastha dharmas, Loukika Aapatkaala Dharmas, Vivaahaadi Dharmas, Stree and Putra Dharmas, Shraaddha / Pitru Yagnas, etc. *Vyavahaara Khaanda* comprising eight chapters delineates Raja Dharmas, Shanti Bhadratas or Mainenance of Peace and Administration, Defence, Finance-Taxes-Budgeting, Banking, Industry and Commerce, and so on. The third and final is *Prayasttittha Khaanda* consisting of twelve chapters is a compendium of various types of atonements of committing sins, against the prescribed principles of 'Dharmaacharana' or the Golden Path of Virtue and Justice.]

Further stanzas as followed:

prayāte tridive tasminn ikṣvākur amitaprabhaḥ, janayiṣye katham putrān iti cintāparo 'bhavat/ karmabhir bahurūpaiś ca tais tair manusutah sutān, janayām āsa dharmātmā śataṁ devasutopamān/ tesām avarajas tāta sarvesām raghunandana, mūdhaś cākrtividyaś ca na śuśrūsati pūrvajān/As Manu Deva disappeared, King Ikshvaku was totally concerned as to further the seriatum of further kingships in the generations ahead to follow the established principles. Happily thereafter ever, such kind of hunded Ikshvaaku putras were born as were deeply dedicated to yagina- daana-tapasya vidhi karma dharmaachaara Manu Putras born. Raghu Nandana Rama! However the youngest of there hundred Manu putras turned out to be a moodha-vidyaa viheena was never engaged in 'bhraatru seva' and he was named as Danda. nāma tasva ca dandeti pitā cakre 'lpatejasah, avasvam dandapatanam sarīre 'sva bhavisvati/ sa paśyamānas tam doṣam ghoram putrasya rāghava, vindhyaśaivalayor madhye rājyam prādād arimdama/ sa daṇḍas tatra rājābhūd ramye parvatarodhasi, puram cāpratimam rāma nyaveśayad anuttamam/ purasya cākaron nāma madhumantam iti prabho, purohitam cośanasam varayām āsa suvratam/ evam sa rājā tad rājyam kārayat sapurohitaḥ, prahṛṣṭamanujākīrṇam devarājyam yathā divi. Shri Rama! That kanishta putra named Danda was allotted the bhayankara desha between Vindyaachaka and Shaibala parvata. There the Danda Raja had created an excellent Madhumanta Nagara where Shuyaachaarya was the Raja Purohita. Indeed their Madhumanta Rajya with Danda Raja-Purohita Shukrachaarya was surprisingly like that of Indra- Brihaspati combination!

Sarga Eighty continued:

Maha Muni Agastya further continued his narration that for a good duration of several years King Danda was quite successful in his Rajyaanga. On a hearty and happy 'chaitra maasarabha', the King reached

Raja Purohita Shukraachaarya's ashrama to felicitate and seek his blessings. There he saw Shuracharya's sarvaanga soundarya putri and having been stung by Manmadha banaas approached her and stated: 'Sundari! Whose kanya are you and am truly infatuated with you right now! Then the kanya replied: Raja! You must be by now realise that I am the daughter of Shukraachaaya named Araja and my respectful father is the Raja Guru and the Rajya purohita. She then requested the King not to forcefully touch her body as I am the unmarried kanya under the control of the father. Nara shreshtha! You are fully aware that my father is a maha tapasvi and if he were to get furious you would be doomed. If you are really interested in me then you ought to be self controlled for now and seek my father's permission to be your life partner. But your 'svecchhachara prayatna' to have my body should most definitely lead to disastrious consequences.' Then the madonmatta King Danda replied: 'Kindly allow me, don't you waste time as I am dying for you; never worry even if I am cursed or even killed! I am yout servant! Please me merciful for now'. Having stated thus the King lost control and ravished her and left while the pitiable daughter was dazed awaiting her father's arrival.

Sarga Eighty One continued:

Afer a while, having realised the most heinous and ever deplorable sinful act of the King notwithstanding his daughters's pleadings rushed back to the ashram with his desciples, Shuracharya saw his dear daughter Araja was crumbled crying away and yelled addressing his sishyas: See the state of the devastated condition that my daughter due to the 'atyaachaara' of that atrocious sinner whom one should be ashamed to call him King of this Rajya! kṣayo 'sya durmateh prāptaḥ sānugasya durātmanaḥ, yaḥ pradīptām hutāśasya śikhām vai sprastum icchati/ yasmāt sa kṛtavān pāpam īdṛśam ghoradarśanam, tasmāt prāpsyati durmedhāḥ phalam pāpasya karmaṇaḥ/ saptarātreṇa rājāsau sabhṛtyabalavāhanaḥ, pāpakarmasamācāro vadham prāpsyati durmatih/May this 'durbuddhi duratma Raja' realise his encountering Vinaasha Kaala forthwith deserving to be thrown into 'mahaagni jwalaas'. That atrocious King had committed a maha pataka of 'guru putri sheela bhagnata'; most certainly his papa karma phala is totally ripe to be sliced off. This 'papa karmaachanana durbuddhi naresaha' be extinct within seven further nights along with putra-sena-savaari sahita for certainty. samantād vojanaśatam visavam cāsva durmateh, dhaksvate pāṃsuvarsena mahatā pākaśāsanah/ sarvasattvāni vānīha sthāvarāni carāni ca, mahatā pāmsuvarṣeṇa nāśam yāsyanti sarvaśaḥ/ daṇḍasya viṣayo yāvat tāvat sarvasamucchrayaḥ, pāmsubhuta ivālaksyah saptarātrād bhavisyati/Further more his hundred 'yojana vistrita rajya' be lashed by Indra Deva with sandstorms and such heavy 'varshapaataas' making the rajya totally extinct. May the 'sthaavara jangamas' of this kingdom be drowned with the uncontrollable 'varsha paatas'. May thus the Danda Rajya disppear finllly'. As soon as the fumed up Shukracharya concluded 'maha shapaas' the ashrama vaashis and the citizens hurried uo their exit from the rajya. Then he addressed his daughter: 'you dim-witted daughter of mine! behave now the parmeshwara dhyaana and wait near one yojana sarovara here with no fear or anxiety till your encouraging times to arrive. This place where you are staying would not be affected and would be free from anykind of anxiety or disquiet while meeting all your requirements,' As per the Maha Muni Shukraacharyas shaapa the remnants of the king and kingdom vanished.' Thus Agasthya Mahamuni had described in some detail quenching the thirst of curiosity of Shri Rama about the erstwhile stages of Ikhvaaku Maha Vasha as initiated from the Manu Mahatma and the age old King Ikshvaaku. He further explained: tatah prabhrti kākutstha dandakāranyam ucyate, tapasvinah sthitā yatra janasthānam atho 'bhavat./ etat te sarvam ākhyātam yan mām prechasi rāghava, samdhyām upāsitum vīra samayo hy ativartate/ ete maharsayah sarve pūrņakumbhāh samantataḥ, krtodako naravyāghra ādityam paryupāsate/ sa tair rṣibhir abhyastaḥ sahitair brahmasattamaiḥ, ravir astam gato rāma gacchodakam upaspṛśa/ Shri Rama! That entire pradesha between Vindhya and Shavala giri as was dvastated by the shaapa of Shukraacharya is now known as dandakaaranya. This place where Tapasvis and Munis have their ashramas is now known as Janasthaana! Rama! You got curious of the genesis and the initial geneology of Ikshavaku Maharaja! Now I have tried to trace back Ishvaaku from Manu Deva and abouth the foremost sons of Ikshvaku right upto the formation of Dandakaaranya and the present 'Janasthaana' too!

Sarga Eighty Two continued

As then directed by Agastya Maha Muni, Rama proceeded to the Sarovara where Apsaras often arrive by the day fall time, for the 'saayam sandhya kaalalopaasana' and Devi Gayatri Smarana. For the subsequent 'saayam bhojana' the host Agastya made elaborate bhojana to Shri Rama and his retinue with kandamoola-jaraavastha nivaarama oushdhis and the bhaksya bhogya paaneeyaas. Then after some vishraanti Rama asked his permission from Agastya Maha Muni as the latter showered complements on Rama as follows: muhūrtam api rāma tvām ve nu paśvanti ke cana, pāvitāh svargabhūtās te pūjyante divi daivataih/ ye ca tvām ghoracaksurbhir īksante prānino bhuvi, hatās te yamadandena sadyo nirayagāminah/ gaccha cāristam avyagrah panthānam akutobhayam, praśādhi rājyam dharmena gatir hi jagato bhavān/Shri Rama! If only even for a muhurtakaala, one attains a glimpse of your divya darshana, he would certainly be eligible for 'swargaadhikaari' with the opportunity of venetating Indraadi devatas directly! Those other praanis who would neither see you nor extol about, you might however be destined to yama loka. Ikshvaaku kula shreshtha! May you thus leave for Ayodhya with contentment with no issues on way but with auspiciousness. evam uktas tu muninā prāñjalih prpagraho nṛpah/ abhyavādayata prājñas tam ṛṣim puṇyaśīlinam/ abhivādya muniśreṣṭham tāmś ca sarvāms tapodhanān, adhyārohat tad avyagrah puspakam hemabhūsitam/ Thus Maha Muni Agastya blessed as Rama too had sincerely did the 'padaabhivandana' for the enormous courtesies received and perched in the puspaka vimana..

Sarga Eighty Three

On return to Ayodhya afer killing immoral tapasvi for reiving the dead vipra baalaka threby, Rama proposed Rajasuya Yagjna, as appreciative Bharata assured consolidation of several rajyas thereafter

Tac chrutvā bhāṣitam tasya rāmasyākliṣṭakarmaṇaḥ, dvāḥsthaḥ kumārāv āhūya rāghavāya nyavedayat/ drstvā tu rāghavah prāptau priyau bharatalaksmanau, parisvajya tato rāmo vākyam etad uvāca ha/ kṛtam mayā yathātathyam dvijakāryam anuttamam, dharmasetumato bhūyaḥ kartum icchāmi rāghavau/ yuvābhyām ātmabhūtābhyām rājasūyam anuttamam, sahito yastum icchāmi tatra dharmo hi śāśvataḥ/ istvā tu rājasūyena mitrah śatrunibarhanah, suhutena suyajñena varunatvam upāgamat/ somaś ca rājasūyena istvā dharmena dharmavit, prāptas ca sarvalokānām kīrtim sthānam ca sāsvatam/ asminn ahani yac chreyas cintyatām tan mayā saha, hitam cāyati yuktam ca prayatau vaktum arhatha/ śrutā tu rāghavasyaitad vākyam vākyaviśāradah, bharatah prāñjalir bhūtvā vākyam etad uvāca ha/ tvayi dharmah parah sādho tvayi sarvā vasumdharā, pratisthitā mahābāho yaśaś cāmitavikrama/ mahīpālāś ca sarve tvām prajāpatim ivāmarāh, nirīkṣante mahātmāno lokanātham yathā vayam/ prajāś ca piṭrvad rājan paśyanti tvām mahābala, pṛthivyām gatibhūto 'si prāṇinām api rāghava' sa tvam evamvidham vajñam āhartāsi katham nrpa, prthivvām rājavamsānām vināso vatra drsvate/ prthivvām ve ca purusā rājan paurusam āgatāh, sarvesām bhavitā tatra ksavah sarvāntakopamah/ sa tvam purusaśārdūla gunair atulavikrama, pṛthivīm nārhase hantum vaśe hi tava vartate/ bharatasya tu tad vākyam śrutvāmṛtamayam vathā, praharsam atulam lebhe rāmah satyaparākramah/ uvāca ca śubhām vānīm kaikeyyā nandi vardhanam, prīto 'smi paritusto 'smi tavādya vacanena hi/idam vacanam aklībam tvayā dharmasamāhitam, vyāhṛtam purusavyāghra pṛthivyāh paripālanam/ esa tasmād abhiprāyād rājasūyāt kratūttamān, nivartayāmi dharmajña tava suvyāhrtena vai/ prajānām pālanam dharmo rājñām yajñena sammitah, tasmāc chrnomi te vākyam sādhūktam susamāhitam/

Having had comfortably returned from the search of the 'duratma nimnajaati tapasvi' who desired to attack Indra but was killed by him reviving the life of the dead brahmana vidyardhi and further visiting Maha Muni Agastya, Rama returned to Ayodhya by pushpaka vimana and called for Bharata Lakshnanas. kṛtam mayā yathātathyam dvijakāryam anuttamam, dharmasetumato bhūyaḥ kartum icchāmi rāghavau/yuvābhyām ātmabhūtābhyām rājasūyam anuttamam, sahito yaṣṭum icchāmi tatra dharmo hi śāśvataḥ/

istvā tu rājasūyena mitrah śatrunibarhanah, suhutena suyajñena varunatvam upāgamat/Raghuvamshi Raja Kumaras Bharata Lakshmanas! I have since already accomplished the raja dharma of reviving the life of the vipra kumara by locating and killing the dushta nimna jaata kapata tapasvi. Now I would like to take up another significant raaja dharma of performing Dharma setu Rajasuya yagjna. Both of you Bharata Lakshmaas are like my two mighty shoulders to achieve the fame of successfully perfoming the yaaga.Do reacall that Mitra Deva the 'samasta shatru samhaari' performed the aahutis to Agni and attained the status of Varuna having dutifully completed Rajasuya maha yagjna. Further: somaś ca rājasūyena istvā dharmeņa dharmavit, prāptas ca sarvalokānām kīrtim sthānam ca sāsvatam/asminn ahani yac chreyas cintyatām tan mayā saha, hitam cāyati yuktam ca prayatau vaktum arhatha/ Dharmagina Soma Devata too had succefully made the anushthana of rajasuya yagina and achieved 'sarva loka keerti' by the 'shubha karyaacharana'! That is why, dear brothers yous hould be seated with me and decide which all responsibilities that you could take over for the grand success of the 'maha raajasuya maha karya.' . As Shri Rama stated thus, Bharta with folded hands replied! tvayi dharmah parah sādho tvavi sarvā vasumdharā, pratisthitā mahābāho vasas cāmitavikrama/ mahīpālās ca sarve tvām prajāpatim ivāmarāh, nirīksante mahātmāno lokanātham vathā vavam/ prajās ca pitrvad rājan pasvanti tvām mahābala, pṛthivyām gatibhūto 'si prāṇinām api rāghava' sa tvam evamvidham yajñam āhartāsi katham nrpa, prthivyām rājavamsānām vināso yatra dršyate/ Maha parakrimi Maha Raja! Indeed you are the very profile of Dharma! The entire prithvi is dependent on and guided by your example of 'dharma karmacharana'. Just as Devendra and Devatas follow the footprints of Prajapati Brahma and follow the principles enunciated by Him as of the Loka naadha, the manavas too are ever dependent by your exemplary deeds. Mahabali Raghunandana! Just as the sons look up to the example of their fathers, all the co rajaas too seek to follow the thoughts and deeds of the Maha Raja. Now as you have decided on performing the Raja suya with success no other Raja could claim supremacy on the bhumandala.' Bharata asserted thus, Rama was extremely pleased and addressed Bharata: 'Kaikeya nandana! I am indeed pleased with your expressions of frankness and factualities. This sankalpa of Rajasuta should result the unity and indivisibility of Prithvi and its invincibilility against evil forces within and without too. When the rajasuya sankalpa sprouted in my heart, your excellent annotation about the unity and consolidation of prithi and its innumerable kingdoms was truly realistic and most practical and well appreciated indeed!

Sargas Eighty Four, Eighty Five and Eighty Six

<u>Lakshmana explains the uniqueness of Ashwamedha Yagina and cited the example of Indra's such</u> Yagina relieved of his brahma hatya dosha consequent on his killing Vritraasura a brahmana.

tathoktavati rāme tu bharate ca mahātmani, lakṣmaṇo 'pi śubham vākyam uvāca raghunandanam/ aśvamedho mahāyajñaḥ pāvanaḥ sarvapāpmanām, pāvanas tava durdharṣo rocatām kratupumgavaḥ/ śrūyate hi purāvṛttam vāsave sumahātmani, brahmahatyāvṛtaḥ śakro hayamedhena pāvitaḥ/ purā kila mahābāho devāsurasamāgame, vṛtro nāma mahān āsīd daiteyo lokasammataḥ/ vistīrṇā yojanaśatam ucchritas triguṇam tataḥ, anurāgeṇa lokāms trīn snehāt paśyati sarvataḥ/ dharmajñaś ca kṛtajñaś ca buddhyā ca pariniṣṭhitaḥ, śaśāsa pṛthivīm sarvām dharmeṇa susamāhitaḥ/ tasmin praśāsati tadā sarvakāmadughā mahī, rasavanti prasūtāni mūlāni ca phalāni ca/ akṛṣṭapacyā pṛthivī susampannā mahātmanaḥ, sa rājyam tādṛśam bhunkte sphītam adbhutadarśanam/ tasya buddhiḥ samutpannā tapaḥ kuryām anuttamam, tapo hi paramam śreyas tapo hi paramam sukham/ sa nikṣipya sutam jyeṣṭham paureṣu parameśvaram, tapa ugram upātiṣṭhat tāpayan sarvadevatāḥ/ tapas tapyati vṛtre tu vāsavaḥ paramārtavat, viṣṇum samupasamkramya vākyam etad uvāca ha/ tapasyatā mahābāho lokā vṛtreṇa nirjitāḥ, balavān sa hi dharmātmā nainam śakṣyāmi bādhitum/ yady asau tapa ātiṣṭhed bhūya eva sureśvara, yāval lokā dhariṣyanti tāvad asya vaśānugāḥ/ tvam cainam paramodāram upekṣasi mahābala, kṣaṇam hi na bhaved vṛtraḥ kruddhe tvayi sureśvara/ yadā hi prītisamyogam tvayā viṣṇo samāgataḥ, tadā prabhrti lokānām nāthatvam upalabdhavān/ sa tvam prasādam lokānām kurusva sumahāyaśah,

tvatkṛtena hi sarvam syāt praśāntam ajaram jagat/ ime hi sarve viṣṇo tvām nirīkṣante divaukasaḥ, vṛtraghatena mahatā eṣām sāhyam kuruṣva ha/ tvayā hi nityaśaḥ sāhyam kṛtam eṣām mahātmanām, asahyam idam anyeṣām agatīnām gatir bhavānan/

Lakşmanasya tu tad vākyam śrutvā śatrunibarhanah, vṛtraghātam aśeṣeṇa kathayety āha lakṣmaṇam/ rāghaveṇaivam uktas tu sumitrānandavardhanah, bhūya eva kathām divyām kathayām āsa lakṣmaṇah/ sahasrākṣavacaḥ śrutvā sarveṣām ca divaukasām, viṣṇur devān uvācedam sarvān indrapurogamān/ pūrvam sauhṛdabaddho 'smi vṛtrasya sumahātmanah tena yuṣmat priyārtham vai nāham hanmi mahāsuram/ avasyam karanīyam ca bhavatām sukham uttamam, tasmād upāyam ākhyāsye yena vrtram hanisyatha/ tridhā bhūtam karisye 'ham ātmānam surasattamāh, tena vṛtram sahasrākso hanisyati na samśayah/ eko 'mśo vāsayam yātu dvitīyo vajram eva tu, trtīyo bhūtalam śakras tato vrtram hanisyati/ tathā bruvati deveśe devā vākyam athābruvan, evam etan na samdeho vathā vadasi daityahan/bhadram te 'stu gamişyāmo vṛtrāsuravadhaiṣiṇaḥ bhajasva paramodāravāsavam svena tejasā/ tatah sarve mahātmānah sahasrākṣapurogamāḥ, tad araṇyam upākrāman yatra vṛtro mahāsurah/ te 'paśyams tejasā bhūtam tapantam asurottamam, pibantam iva lokāms trīn nirdahantam ivāmbaram/drstvaiva cāsuraśreṣṭham devās trāsam upāgaman, katham enam vadhiṣyāmaḥ katham na syāt parājayaḥ/ teṣām cintayatām tatra sahasrākṣaḥ puramdaraḥ, vajram pragṛhya bāhubhyām prahiṇod vṛtramūrdhani/ kālāgnineva ghorena dīpteneva mahārcisā, prataptam vṛtraśirasi jagat trāsam upāgamat/ asambhāvyam vadham tasya vṛtrasya vibudhādhipah, cintayāno jagāmāśu lokasyāntam mahāyaśāh/ tam indram brahmahatyāśu gacchantam anugacchati, apatac cāsya gātreṣu tam indram duḥkham āviśat/ hatārayah pranaştendrā devāḥ sāgnipurogamāḥ, viṣṇum tribhuvaṇaśreṣṭham muhur muhur apūjayan/ tvam gatiḥ paramā deva pūrvajo jagatah prabhuh, rathārtham sarvabhūtānām viṣṇutvam upajagmivān/ hataś cāyam tvayā vrtro brahmahatyā ca vāsavam, bādhate suraśārdūla moksam tasya vinirdiśa/ tesām tad vacanam śrutvā devānām visnur abravīt, mām eva yajatām śakrah pāvayisyāmi vajrinam/ punyena hayamedhena mām istvā pākaśāsanah, punar esvati devānām indratvam akutobhayah/ evam samdiśya devānām tām vānīm amṛtopamā, jagāma visnur devesah stūyamānas trivistapam/

Tathā vrtravadham sarvam akhilena sa laksmanah, kathavitvā naraśresthah kathāśesam upākramat/ tato hate mahāvīrye vṛtre devabhayamkare, brahmahatyāvṛtaḥ śakraḥ samjñām lebhe na vṛtrahā/ so 'ntam āśritya lokānām naṣṭasamjño vicetanaḥ, kālam tatrāvasat kam cid veṣṭamāno yathoragaḥ/ atha naṣṭe sahasrākse udvignam abhavaj jagat, bhūmiś ca dhvastasamkāśā nihsnehā śuskakānanā/ nihsrotasaś cāmbuvāhā hradāś ca saritas tathā, samksobhaś caiva sattvānām anāvrstikrto 'bhavat/ ksīyamāne tu loke 'smin sambhrāntamanasah surāh, yad uktam visnunā pūrvam tam yajñam samupānayan/ tatah sarve suraganāh sopādhyāyāh saharsibhih, tam deśam sahitā jagmur yatrendro bhayamohitah/ te tu dṛstvā sahasrākṣam mohitam brahmahatyayā, tam puraskṛtya deveśam aśvamedham pracakrire/ tato 'śvamedhaḥ sumahān mahendrasya mahātmanah, vavṛdhe brahmahatyāyāḥ pāvanārthaṁ nareśvara/ tato yajñasamāptau tu brahmahatyā mahātmanah, abhigamyābravīd vākyam kva me sthānam vidhāsyatha/ te tām ūcus tato devās tustāh prītisamanvitāh, caturdhā vibhajātmānam ātmanaiva durāsade/ devānām bhāṣitaṁ śrutvā brahmahatyā mahātmanām, saṁnidhau sthānam anyatra varayām āsa durvasā/ ekenāmsena vatsyāmi pūrņodāsu nadīsu vai, dvitīyena tu vṛkṣeṣu satyam etad bravīmi vaḥ/ yo 'yam amśas trtīvo me strīsu yauvanaśālisu, trirātram darpaparnāsu vasisye darpaghātinī/ hantāro brāhmanān ve tu preksāpūrvam adūsakān,tām's caturthena bhāgena sam'srayisve surarsabhāh/ pratyūcus tām tato devā yathā vadasi durvase, tathā bhavatu tat sarvam sādhayasva yathepsitam/ tatah prītyānvitā devāh sahasrākṣam vavandire, vijvarah pūtapāpmā ca vāsavah samapadyata/ praśāntam ca jagat sarvam sahasrākṣe pratiṣṭhate, yajñam cādbhutasamkāśam tadā śakro 'bhyapūjayat/īdṛśo hy aśvamedhasya prabhāvo raghunandana, yajasva sumahābhāga hayamedhena pārthiva/

There after Lakshamana having heartily congratulated Shri Rama to decide on dutifully performing the Rajasuya Maha Yagjna, while Bharata too welcomed assuring the aspect of close togetherness of numberless rajyas under a single umbrella without mutual bickerings. Lakshmana further commended the proposal citing the example of Indra too who was smitten by brahma hatya mahaa paataka had performed

Ashvamedha yagjna and got purified. Then Lakshmana refeshed Shri Rama's memory. When there broke out a maha yuddha between Devatas and Asuras, there was a brahmana king named Vritrasura who stood always erect and firm with his physique of a staggering hundred yojanas width and three hundred yojanas of height. His kingdom was on typical principles of dharma and nyaaya and his praja were prosperous with 'dhana dhanya sampadas' and of arogya always. In course of time he desired to perform tapasya. The then entrusted his kingdom to his eldest son Madhureshwara and took to 'ghora tapasya.' Then Indra and Devatas were some what concerned and apprehensive that after realising various boons he might become invincible in tri lokas and they might have to be under his subjugation subjected to his whims and fancies, especially as he was a born asura. They approached Vishnu and prayed that some how Vritraasra should not become invincible and sought for a solution to the impending trouble.

Sarga Eighty Five continued

Then Shri Rama asked Lakshmana to briefly narrate the story of Vritrasura Vadha and Lakshmana narrated as follows: 'As Indraadi Devas approached Vishnu then the latter replied: pūrvam sauhṛdabaddho 'smi vṛtrasya sumahātmanaḥ tena yuṣmat priyārtham vai nāham hanmi mahāsuram/ avaśyam karaṇīyam ca bhavatām sukham uttamam, tasmād upāyam ākhyāsye yena vṛtram haniṣyatha/ tridhā bhūtam karisve 'ham ātmānam surasattamāh, tena vrtram sahasrākso hanisvati na samsavah/ eko 'mśo vāsavam yātu dvitīyo vajram eva tu, tṛtīyo bhūtalam śakras tato vṛtram hanisyati/ Indraadi Devas!Even earlier to your arrival here and having to inform me of your justified apprehensions, I have been thinking a way to overcome the problem of Vritrasura! Yes, Vritrasura vadha appears to be inevitable. Now, the methodology of doing so appears to be three phased. Firstly, a part of my 'amsha' or the inherent 'tejas' be absorbed into the psyche or innerconsciousness of Indra, then a vajrayudha be secured, and let Indra descend down to bhutala. (Vishnu's suggestion implies bhutala raksha due the anticipated fall on the physique of a staggering hundred vojanas width and three hundred vojanas of height!). Hence the three phased formula suggested by Vishnu'. Then Indraadidevas were extremely grateful and returned back to swarga. physique of a staggering hundred yojanas width and three hundred vojanas of height. tatah sarve mahātmānah sahasrāk sapurogamāh, tad aranyam upākrāman yatra vrtro mahāsurah/ te 'paśyams tejasā bhūtam tapantam asurottamam, pibantam iya lokāms trīn nirdahantam ivāmbaram/ dṛṣṭvaiva cāsuraśreṣṭhaṁ devās trāsam upāgaman, katham enaṁ vadhiṣyāmaḥ kathaṁ na syāt parājayah/Having had Vishnu darshana and his marga darshana, Indra and Devas reached that very spot where Vritraasura was deeply engaged his ghora tapasya. The asura's mammoth physique was emitting agni jwaalaas as though trilokas would be burnt off reaching the high skies. One look at the vritraasura in that state sent shock waves down the spines of the deva samuhaas wondering as to how and whether the Mahaasura could ever be killed! teṣām cintayatām tatra sahasrākṣaḥ puramdaraḥ, vajram pragrhya bāhubhyām prahiṇod vṛṭramūrdhani/ kālāgnineva ghoreṇa dīpteneva mahārciṣā, prataptam vṛtraśirasi jagat trāsam upāgamat/ asambhāvyam vadham tasya vṛtrasya vibudhādhipaḥ, cintayāno jagāmāśu lokasyāntam mahāyaśāh/ tam indram brahmahatyāśu gacchantam anugacchati, apatac cāsya gātresu tam indram duhkham āviśat/ Even as Devas were in disbelief thus, Mahendra lifted both his forceful hands and struck right at the mahasura's 'mastaka'; Indra Deva's vajraayudha emitted 'agni jwaalaas' ever jumping higher and higher and thumped his huge head which rolled down while the earth quaked wobbling and bhutala vaasis were shocked and swooned. Indeed 'niraparaadha Vritraasuru vadha' was certainly not justifiable especially being a 'brahmana hatya'; then instantaneously the 'lokaa lokapartyantaras' were of 'andhakaaramaya pradeshas'! As Indra made an effort to move, his physical parts fell down broken.hatārayaḥ pranaṣṭendrā devāḥ sāgnipurogamāḥ, viṣṇum tribhuvaṇaśreṣṭham muhur muhur apūjayan/ tvam gatih paramā deva pūrvajo jagatah prabhuh, rathārtham sarvabhūtānām visnutvam upajagmivān/As Deva shatru got killed and Indra disappeared, samasta deva ganaas were rattled and ran to reach Maha Vishnu. They sobbed and howled and performed 'stuti-pujas' to the last refuke point of vaikuntha with desperation, especially as their chief Indra was nonexistent. tesām tad vacanam śrutvā devānām viṣṇur abravīt, mām eva yajatām śakraḥ pāvayiṣyāmi vajriṇam/ puṇyena hayamedhena mām istvā pākaśāsanah, punar esvati devānām indratvam akutobhayah/ evam samdiśya

devānām tām vāṇīm amrtopamā, jagāma viṣṇur deveśaḥ stūyamānas triviṣṭapam/ Then Vishnu took the form of Indra and suggested that let Indra perform worship to me as the Yagjna Purusha and then the vajradhaari be purified by dutifully performing Ashvamedha Yagjna. Vishnu then assured once Devendra in my very form would do as prescribed, he would be freed from the heinous brahma hatya maha pataka!

Sarga Eighty Six as explained further:

Narrating further that as Maha Vishnu suggested that the disappeared Indra in Vishnu rupa should revive himself by performing Ashavamedha yagina, then in the presence of Devas, Brihaspati the Deva Guru initiated the Ashvamedha in the presence of Devas. devānām bhāsitam śrutvā brahmahatvā mahātmanām, samnidhau sthānam anyatra varayām āsa durvasā/ ekenāmsena vatsyāmi pūrnodāsu nadīşu vai, dvitīyena tu vṛkṣeṣu satyam etad bravīmi vaḥ/ yo 'yam aṁśas tṛtīyo me strīṣu yauvanaśāliṣu, trirātram darpaparņāsu vasisye darpaghātinī/ hantāro brāhmaņān ye tu prekṣāpūrvam adūṣakān,tāmś caturthena bhāgena samsrayisye surarşabhāh/At the yagina samaapti, then the Brahma hatya dosha asked Deva Guru as to where that could be seated. The reply was: 'durjaya shakti swarupa Brahma hatye!' Get divided in parts instead of being a single entity. Then that amorphous form divided itself into four divisions and demanded place in Indra's body. It declared that for four months it would like to be of jala swarupa and reside in rivers, another portion as 'bhushthapita' or settled all across the earth, the third segment would be in youthful women for three nights as their menses period, and the fourth part would wish to ever remain in the form of those cruel 'manavas' who would be killing brahmanas. Then Deva Guru accorded his approval and the trilokas assumed normalcy. Then Lakshmana addressed Shri Rama! ' Raghunandana! Such was the unique significance of Ashvamedha Yagina worthy of dutiful performance, as a preamble to Rajasuya Maha Yagina.

Sargas Eighty Seven- Eighty Eight- Eighty Nine and Ninety

<u>Lakshmana re-emphasised the ashvamedha yagjna mahatmya by yet another example of King Ila cursed by Maha Deva Himself with monthly change over of purushava and Streetva!</u>

Tac chrutvā lakṣmaṇenoktam vākyam vākyaviśāradaḥ, pratyuvāca mahātejāḥ prahasan rāghavo vacaḥ/ evam etan naraśrestha yathā vadasi lakṣmaṇa, vṛtraghātam aśeṣeṇa vājimedhaphalaṁ ca yat/ śrūyate hi purā saumya kardamasya prajāpateh, putro bāhlīśvarah śrīmān ilo nāma sudhārmikah/ sa rājā prthivīm sarvām vaśe kṛtvā mahāyaśāh, rājyam caiva naravyāghra putravat paryapālayat/ suraiś ca paramodārair daiteyais ca mahāsuraih, nāgarākṣasagandharvair yakṣais ca sumahātmabhih/ pūjyate nityaśah saumya bhayārtai raghunandana, abibhyamś ca trayo lokāh saroşasya mahātmanah/ sa rājā tādṛśo hy āsīd dharme vīrye ca niṣṭhitaḥ, buddhyā ca paramodāro bāhlīkānām mahāyaśāḥ/ sa pracakre mahābāhur mrgayām rucire vane, caitre manorame māsi sabhrtyabalayāhanah/ prajaghne sa nrpo 'ranye mrgāñ śatasahasraśah, hatyaiya trptir nābhūc ca rājñas tasya mahātmanah/ nānāmrgānām ayutam vadhyamānam mahātmanā, yatra jāto mahāsenas tam deśam upacakrame/ tasmims tu devadeveśah śailarājasutām harah, ramayāmāsa durdharsaih sarvair anucaraih saha/ kṛtvā strībhūtam ātmānam umešo gopatidhvajah, devyāh priyacikīrsuh sa tasmin parvatanirjhare/ ye ca tatra vanoddeše sattvāh purusavādinah, yac ca kim cana tat sarvam nārīsamjñam babhūva ha/ etasminn antare rājā sa ilah kardamātmajah, nighnan mṛgasahasrāṇi tam deśam upacakrame/ sa dṛṣṭvā strīkṛtam sarvam savyālamṛgapakṣiṇam, ātmānam sānugam caiva strībhūtam raghunandana/ tasya duḥkham mahat tv āsīd dṛṣṭvātmānam tathā gatam, umāpateś ca tat karma jñātvā trāsam upāgamat/ tato devam mahātmānam śitikantham kapardinam, jagāma śaraṇam rājā sabhrtyabalavāhanah tatah prahasya varadah saha devyā mahāyaśāh, prajāpatisutam vākyam uvāca varadah svayam/ uttisthottistha rājarse kārdameya mahābala, purusatvam rte saumya varam varaya suvrata/ tatah sa rājā śokārtāh pratyākhyāto mahātmanā, na sa jagrāha strībhūto varam anyam surottamāt/ tataḥ śokena mahatā śailarājasutām nrpah, pranipatya mahādevīm sarvenaivāntarātmanā/īśe varānām varade lokānām asi bhāmini,

amoghadarśane devi bhaje saumye namo 'stu te/ hrdgatam tasya rājarṣer vijñāya harasamnidhau, pratyuvāca śubham vākyam devī rudrasya sammatā/ ardhasya devo varado varārdhasya tathā hy aham,tasmād ardham grhāṇa tvam strīpumsor yāvad icchasi/ tad adbhutatamam śrutvā devyā varam anuttamam, samprahṛṣṭamanā bhūtvā rājā vākyam athābravīt/ yadi devi prasannā me rūpeṇāpratimā bhuvi, māsam strītvam upāsitvā māsam syām puruṣaḥ punaḥ/ īpsitam tasya vijñāya devī surucirānanā, pratyuvāca śubham vākyam evam etad bhaviṣyati/ rājan puruṣabhūtas tvam strībhāvam na smariṣyasi, strībhūtaś cāparam māsam na smariṣyasi pauruṣam/ evam sa rājā puruṣo māmam bhūtvātha kārdamiḥ, trailokyasundarī nārī māsam ekam ilābhavat/

Tām kathām ilasambaddhām rāmeņa samudīritām, laksmaņo bharatas caiva srutvā paramavismitau/ tau rāmam prānjalībhūtvā tasya rājno mahātmanah, vistaram tasya bhāvasya tadā papracchatuh punah/ katham sa rājā strībhūto vartayām āsa durgatim, puruṣo vā yadā bhūtaḥ kām vṛttim vartayaty asau/ tayos tad bhāṣitam śrutvā kautūhalasamanvitam, kathayām āsa kākutṣṭhas tasya rājño yathā gatam/ tam eva prathamam māsam strībhūtvā lokasundarī, tābhih parivṛtā strībhir ye 'sya pūrvam padānugāh tat kānanam vigāhvāśu vijahre lokasundarī, drumagulmalatākīrnam padbhvām padmadaleksanā/ vāhanāni ca sarvāṇi saṃtyaktvā vai samantatah, parvatābhogavivare tasmin reme ilā tadā/ atha tasmin vanoddeśe parvatasyāvidūrataḥ, saraḥ suruciraprakhyam nānāpakṣigaṇāyutam/ dadarśa sā ilā tasmin budham somasutam tadā, įvalantam svena vapusā pūrnam somam ivoditam/ tapantam ca tapas tīvram ambhomadhye durāsadam, yaśak saram kāmagamam tārunye paryavasthitam/ sā tam jalāśayam sarvam kşobhayām āsa vismitā, saha taih pūra puruşaih strībhūtai raghunandana/ budhas tu tām nirīkşyaiva kāmabānābhipīditah, nopalebhe tadātmānam cacāla ca tadāmbhasi/ ilām nirīksamānah sa trailokyābhyadhikām śubhām, cintām samabhyatikrāmat kā nv iyam devatādhikā/ na devīṣu na nāgīṣu nāsurīşv apsaraḥsu ca, dṛṣṭapūrvā mayā kā cid rūpeṇaitena śobhitā/ sadṛśīyam mama bhaved yadi nānyaparigrahā, iti buddhim samāsthāya jalāt sthalam upāgamat/ sa āśramam samupāgamya catasrah pramadās tatah, śabdāpayata dharmātmā tāś cainam ca vavandire/ sa tāh papraccha dharmātma kasyaisā lokasundarī, kimartham āgatā ceha satyam ākhyāta māciram/ śubham tu tasya tadvākyam madhuram madhurākṣaram, śrutvā tu tāḥ striyaḥ sarvā ūcur madhurayā girā/ asmākam eṣā suśroṇī prabhutve vartate sadā, apatih kānanāntesu sahāsmābhir ataty asau/ tad vākyam avvaktapadam tāsām strīṇām niśamya tu, vidyām āvartanīm puṇyām āvartayata sa dvijaḥ/Atra kimpurusheerbhutvaa shailarodhasi vastyathga, aavasastu girivaavasmisheeghrameva vidheeyataam/

śrutvā kimpuruşotpattim lakşmaņo bharatas tadā, āścaryam iti cābrūtām ubhau rāmam janeśvaram/ atha rāmah kathām etām bhūya eva mahāyaśāh, kathayām āsa dharmātmā prajāpatisutasya vai/ sarvās tā vidrutā drstvā kimnarīr rsisattamah, uvāca rūpasampannām tām striyam prahasann iva/ somasyāham sudayitah sutah surucirānane, bhajasva mām varārohe bhaktyā snigdhena cakṣuṣā/tasya tadvacanam śrutvā śūnye svajanavarjitā, ilā suruciraprakhyam pratyuvāca mahāgraham/ aham kāmakarī saumya tavāsmi vasavartinī, prasādhi mām somasuta yathecchasi tathā kuru/ tasyās tad adbhutaprakhyam srutvā harşasamanvitah, sa vai kāmī saha tayā reme candramasah sutah/ budhasya mādhavo māsas tām ilām rucirānanām, gato ramayato 'tyartham kṣaṇavat tasya kāminaḥ/ atha māse tu sampūrņe pūrņendu sadṛśānanaḥ, prajāpatisutaḥ śrīmāñ śayane pratyabudhyata/ so 'paśyat somajam tatra tapyantam salilāśave, ūrdhvabāhum nirālambam tam rājā pratyabhāṣata/ bhagavan parvatam durgam praviṣṭo 'smi sahānugah, na ca paśyāmi tat sainyam kva nu te māmakā gatāh/ tac chrutvā tasya rājarser nastasamiñasya bhāsitam, pratyuvāca śubham vākyam sāntvayan parayā girā/aśmavarsena mahatā bhṛtyās te vinipātitāḥ, tvam cāśramapade supto vātavarṣabhayārditaḥ/ samāśvasihi bhadram te nirbhayo vigatajvaraḥ, phalamūlāśano vīra vasa ceha yathāsukham/ sa rājā tena vākyena pratyāśvasto mahāyaśāḥ, pratyuvāca śubham vākyam dīno bhrtyajanakṣayāt/ tyakṣyāmy aham svakam rājyam nāham bhṛtyair vinā kṛtah, vartayeyam kṣanam brahman samanujñātum arhasi/ suto dharmaparo brahmañ jyestho mama mahāyaśāh śaśabindur iti khyātah sa me rājyam prapatsyate/ na hi śaksyāmy aham gatyā bhṛtyadārān sukhānvitān, prativaktum mahātejaḥ kim cid apy aśubham vacaḥ, tathā bruvati rājendre budhah paramam adbhutam, sāntvapūrvam athovāca vāsas ta iha rocatām/ na samtāpas tvavā kārvah

kārdameya mahābala, samvatsaroşitasyeha kārayişyāmi te hitam/ tasya tadvacanam śrutvā budhasyākliṣṭakarmaṇaḥ, vāsāya vidadhe buddhim yad uktam brahmavādinā/ māsam sa strī tadā bhūtvā ramayaty aniśam śubhā, māsam puruṣabhāvena dharmabuddhim cakāra saḥ/ tataḥ sa navame māsi ilā somasutātmajam, janayām āsa suśroṇī purūravasam ātmajam/ jātamātram tu suśroṇī pitur haste nyaveśayat, budhasya samavarṇābham ilāputram mahābalam/ budho 'pi puruṣībhūtam samāśvāsya narādhipam, kathābhī ramayām āsa dharmayuktābhir ātmavān/

Tathoktavati rāme tu tasva janma tad adbhutam, uvāca laksmano bhūvo bharatas ca mahāvasāh/ sā privā somaputrasya samvatsaram athositā, akarot kim naraśrestha tat tvam śamsitum arhasi/ tayos tad vākyamādhuryam niśamya paripṛcchatoḥ, rāmaḥ punar uvācemām prajāpatisute kathām/ puruṣatvam gate śūre budhah paramabuddhimān, samvartam paramodāram ājuhāva mahāyaśāh/ cyavanam bhṛguputram ca munim cāristaneminam, pramodanam modakaram tato durvāsasam munim/etān sarvān samānīya vākyajñas tattvadarsinaḥ, uvāca sarvān suhrdo dhairyeṇa susamāhitah/ ayam rājā mahābāhuh kardamasya ilah sutah, jānītainam yathā bhūtam śreyo hy asya vidhīyatām/ teṣām samvadatām eva tam āśramam upāgamat, kardamah sumahātejā dvijaih saha mahātmabhih/ pulastvaś ca kratuś caiva vaṣaṭkāras tathaiva ca, omkāras ca mahātejās tam āsramam upāgaman/ te sarve hṛṣṭamanasaḥ parasparasamāgame, hitaişiņo bāhli pateļi pṛthag vākyam athābruvan/ kardamas tv abravīd vākyam sutārtham paramam hitam, dvijāh śrnuta madvākyam yac chreyah pārthivasya hi/ nānyam paśyāmi bhaisajyam antarena vṛsadhvajam, nāśvamedhāt paro yajñah priyaś caiva mahātmanah/ tasmād yajāmahe sarve pārthivārthe durāsadam, kardamenaivam uktās tu sarva eva dvijarsabhāh, rocayanti sma tam yajñam rudrasyārādhanam prati/ samvartasya tu rājarṣiḥ śiṣyaḥ parapuramjayaḥ/ marutta iti vikhyātas tam yajñam samupāharat, tato yajño mahān āsīd budhāśramasamīpatah, rudraś ca paramam tosam ājagāma mahāyaśāh/ atha yajñasamāptau tu prītah paramayā mudā, umāpatir dvijān sarvān uvācedam ilām prati/ prīto 'smi hayamedhena bhaktyā ca dvijasattamāh, asya bāhlipateś caiva kim karomi priyam śubham/ tathā vadati deveśe dvijās te susamāhitāh, prasādayanti deveśam yathā syāt purusas tv ilā/ tatah prītamanā rudrah purusatvam dadau punah, ilāyai sumahātejā dattvā cāntaradhīyata/ nivṛtte hayamedhe tu gate cādarśanam hare., yathāgatam dvijāh sarve agacchan dīrghadarśinah/ rājā tu bāhlim utsriva madhvadeśe hy anuttamam, niveśayām āsa puram pratisthānam vašaskaram/ šašabindus tu rājāsīd bāhlyām parapuramjayah, pratisthāna ilo rājā prajāpatisuto balī/ sa kāle prāptavāmil lokam ilo brāhmam anuttamam, ailaḥ purūravā rājā pratiṣṭhānam avāptavān/īdṛśo hy aśvamedhasya prabhāvah purusarsabhau, strībhūtah paurusam lebhe yac cānyad api durlabham/

Sarga Eighty Seven explained:

Shri Rama was impressed and pleased as to how Indra was rid of 'brahma hatya paataka' due to the killing of Vritraasura by performing 'ashwa medha yajna' as prescribed be Deva Guru Brihaspati. Then Rama desired Lakshmana whether he was aware Raja Ila, his streetva prapti for a month-Ila and Budha samaagama and Pururavotpati- and Ila's purushatva prapti by virtue of 'Ashvamedha anushthana'! Then Rama explained of that ancient happening to Lakshmana: 'Sumitra Putra! In the ancient times Prajapati Kardama putra was Baahlika Desha Raja named Ila a truthful Dharmatma. He brought the entire prithi undre his control and became the Chakravarti. He was ever kind to Deva-Daitya-Naaga- Raakshasa-Gandrarva-Yakshaas too and all of them used to venerate him respectfully. Once in the Chaitra month of Vasanta ritu went on a 'mriga pakshi vihara' on a hunting spree along this his 'sainya'. In that long period hunting he might have killed some ten thousand animals and in the process reached various kingdoms and happened to visit that particular area where Bhagavan Kartikeya was born. There at adjoning place Bhagavan-Bhagaviti Shiva and Parvati were relaxing around the waterfalls from the high mountains. In the vrishabha dhvaja ratha, Bhagavan assumed the 'Naareeshwara swarupa', and accordingly the pakshipashus too turned to was stree swarupas instantly! ye ca tatra vanoddeśe sattvāh purusavādinah, yac ca kim cana tat sarvam nārīsamjñam babhūva ha/ etasminn antare rājā sa ilah kardamātmajah, nighnan mṛgasahasrāṇi tam deśam upacakrame/ sa dṛṣṭvā strīkṛtam sarvam savyālamṛgapakṣiṇam, ātmānam sānugam caiva strībhūtam raghunandana/ All the male form animals had attained female forms the

astonished King Ila had to perforce stopped hunting as thousands of animals. Not only that the raajas sena too attained 'streetva' and so was the King himself! tasya duhkham mahat tv āsīd drstvātmānam tathā gatam, umāpateś ca tat karma jñātvā trāsam upāgamat/ tato devam mahātmānam śitikanṭham kapardinam, jagāma śaraṇam rājā sabhṛtyabalavāhanah/ In that feminine form, the King Ila was terrified, bashful and cried out helplessly. Then the King and his soldiers ran towards Bhagavan Neelakantha and prostrated with desperation. tatah prahasya varadah saha devyā mahāyaśāh, prajāpatisutam vākyam uvāca varadah svayam/ uttisthottistha rājarse kārdameya mahābala, purusatvam rte saumya varam varaya suvrata/ tataḥ sa rājā śokārtāḥ pratyākhyāto mahātmanā, na sa jagrāha strībhūto varam anyam surottamāt/Then Maheshrara as seated besides Maha Devi Parvati smiled and said: Maha Raja! what is your wish! You may ask me any boon, excepting transformation of streetva or back as of Purushatva or manhood. Then the King hept on crying away as Maha Deva was not relenting. tataḥ śokena mahatā śailarājasutām nṛpaḥ, praṇipatya mahādevīm sarveṇaivāntarātmanā/īśe varāṇām varade lokānām asi bhāmini, amoghadarśane devi bhaje saumye namo 'stu te/ hrdgatam tasya rājarşer vijñāya harasamnidhau, pratyuvāca śubham vākyam devī rudrasya sammatā/ ardhasya devo varado varārdhasva tathā hv aham, tasmād ardham grhāna tvam strīpumsor vāvad icchasi/ As Maheshwara was not agreeable, King Ila fell at the feet of Giri Rajakumari Devi Uma: 'Sampurna vara pradaayani! Samasta Loka Maataa!' May this divyadarshana of yours be regarded as fruitless. Do very kindly help me from this most unfortunate present predicament. Having truly appreciated the trepidation and practical predicament that indeed as a woman the King would certainly not be possible to administer as a chakravarti and preserve the high standards of 'kshaatra dharma paripaalana', Devi Girija suggested: Raja! I might grant you the status of 'Ardha Naareeshwara' and you might consider it intead of 'sampurna streetva' or as a fulfledged female. I should therefore suggest this 'via-media' proposition. I might further grant to you the option as to for how long you wish to be of 'purushatva' and of 'streetva' alternatively! The King felt relieved at the golden kind of formula that Jagajjanani Mother Parvata Raja Putri had very kindly granted.tad adbhutatamam śrutvā devyā varam anuttamam, samprahṛstamanā bhūtvā rājā vākyam athābravīt/ yadi devi prasannā me rūpenāpratimā bhuvi, māsam strītvam upāsitvā māsam syām purusah punaḥ/ īpsitam tasya vijñāya devī surucirānanā, pratyuvāca śubham vākyam evam etad bhavisyati/ rājan purusabhūtas tvam strībhāvam na smarisvasi, strībhūtas cāparam māsam na smarisvasi paurusam/evam sa rājā puruso māmam bhūtvātha kārdamih, trailokvasundarī nārī māsam ekam ilābhavat/ He then further requested: Mother of the Universe: If could mercifully grant me 'purushatva' for one month and 'streetva' for the next alternatively, I would be truly obliged! As Parvati consented, King Ila then turned as a youthful 'parama triloka sundari!

Sarga Eighty Eight explained:

As Shri Rama narrated the ancient timed happening of King Ila turning to streetva and purushatva by Shiva Parvati's Ardha Naareeshvarava, Lakshmana Bharatas were truly amazed and desired to learn further! Then Shri Rama was pressed by the younger brothers narrated further: 'In the first month King Ila turned as a Tribhuyana Sundari and was moving about freely in vriksha-pushpa vanaas with cooling water ponds as 'hamasa gamana paada padmas'. Then she reached like a 'vistruta parvata madhya bhaga bhramani' or like a youthful pretty female of stunning beauty on the sprawling mid mountainous tops freely. At that time as she reached a 'sarovara', Soma Putra Budha was engaged in deep tapasya. sā tam jalāśayam sarvam ksobhayām āsa vismitā, saha taih pūra purusaih strībhūtai raghunandana/ budhas tu tām nirīkṣyaiva kāmabāṇābhipīḍitaḥ, nopalebhe tadātmānam cacāla ca tadāmbhasi/ ilām nirīkṣamāṇaḥ sa trailokyābhyadhikām śubhām, cintām samabhyatikrāmat kā nv iyam devatādhikā/ na devīşu na nāgīşu nāsurīsv apsarahsu ca, drstapūrvā mayā kā cid rūpenaitena śobhitā/Looking at the yuva tapasvi Ila in her stree swarupa was terribly attracted and along with other strees jumped into the sarovara thinking of the tapasvi as she had never seen a male that too of youthful body features of purna chandra's brilliance. Simultaneously Budha too having heard the 'kolaahala' of youthful women jumping into the sarovara noticed the outstanding charm of Ila in the stree swarupa and was instatanly hit by 'Manmadha Baanaas' of uncontrollable feelings of love and lust. He felt that she was surely a triloka sundari and wondered as

to who was the new arrival! Is she some one who was far above the cut of 'Devanganas', Nagavadhus, Aprasasa Kanyas as never seen nor imagined of!' Then having left back to his ashram, Budha enquired of the youthful strees. He asked them: 'who indeed are you all and who is is this beauty beyond my expression!' Then the reply was that none of us would know neither ourselves nor about her as we all had been wandering freely and carefreely!' Then Budha stated: *Atra kimpurusheerbhutvaa shailarodhasi vastyathga, aavasastu girivaavasmisheeghrameva vidheeyataam*/ All of you should now become Kimpurushis (Kinnarees) and be around the slopes of thess mountains and reside there for good. You would be blessed with good 'udyaana vanaas' full of trees, flowers and excellent fruits. You would all be also blessed with husbands to be called as 'Kimpurushaas'.

Sarga Eighty Nine continued as follows:

Shri Rama then continued this amazing background of Kinnara Kimpurushas. As the Kinnareyas had thus been despatched away, Budha approached Ila in the attractive sundari stree form and stated sweetly: 'Sumukhi! I am the Soma Deva's putra named Budha. Do kindly accept me as your husband and provide me swarga sukhas since I am passionately obsessed with you. Then 'she' raplied: 'Soumya Soma Kumara! I happen to be a free woman moving about as a truly independent woman. Yet, I do appreciate your way of innocent open heartedness. Hence I have no hesitation in accepting your offer.' She had acquiesced yieldingly the kaamaatura Budha spent to his heart's content for the entire vaishaakha month. Later on at the next morning the Prajapati Putra King Ila woke up from the bed while the Soma Putra Budha was aldeady performing his tapasya on the 'jalaashaa'. As if from a dream, Ila was surprised and asked Budha: 'Bhagavan! I had climbed an insurmountable mountain in this manner and wonder what happened to my 'sena'!' Thus Rajarshi Ila had really no memory or even a small awareness of what all had happened especially about his 'streetva' or womanhood. Budha by his celestial vision realised the entire backdrop of what all happened to the King Ila. He then explained: Maha Raja! due to a huge sand storm and heavy rains, your soldiers had been staying in an ashram. Now, you too may relax and enjoy phala-moola bhojana in comfort. Then the King replied that he should return back to to his rajya too soon even without his army. Then Budha suggested that he might as well wait for a month with comfort for nine months that repetitively as then by the king's alternating streetva- purushatva month after month, Budha should secure a son to be named <u>Pururava</u>. Eventually, Budha putra came of 'upanaana yogya avastha', eventually.

Sarga Ninety to follow

As Shri Rama narrated the extremely interesting King Ila- his streetva-Budha and Pururava, the paramodaara Budha Deva took pity on King Ila and during his alternative monthly turn of the King's Purushatva welcomed Bhriguputra Chyavana Muni, Arishtanemi, Pramodana, Modakara and Durvasa Munis. Budha explained about King Ila, the Kardama Prajapati Putra, and that they would all be aware of what all had been happening to him between the swinging pendulum of streetva and purushava every month! As Budha Deva was explaining thus, Kardama Prajapati too arrived at the Budhaashrama. And so did Pulastya, Kratu, Vashatkaara and Omkaaraasa too. Then there was an open discussion as to how to rescue from the acute problem of King Ila. nānyam paśyāmi bhaisajyam antarena yrsadhyajam, nāśvamedhāt paro yajñah priyaś caiva mahātmanah/ tasmād yajāmahe sarve pārthivārthe durāsadam, kardamenaivam uktās tu sarva eva dvijarṣabhāḥ, rocayanti sma tam yajñam rudrasyārādhanam prati/ samvartasya tu rājarṣiḥ śiṣyaḥ parapuramjayah, marutta iti vikhyātas tam yajñam samupāharat/ Then Prajapati Kardama addressed: Viprottamaas! Excepting the single manner of pleasing Maha Deva Himself, the disease facing King Ila could be ever doctored and cured. This involves the King Ila himself ought to dutifully execute Ashvamedha Yagina addressing Maha Deva and pleasing Him'. As Kardama Prajpati stated, there was an unanimous decision of the Muni Maharshis and Rudraaraadhana was initiated and 'Yagjnyaanushthaana kaaya krama' was was launched by Rajarshi Marutha who presided

tato yajño mahān āsīd budhāśramasamīpataḥ, rudraś ca paramam toṣam ājagāma mahāyaśāḥ/atha yajñasamāptau tu prītaḥ paramayā mudā, umāpatir dvijān sarvān uvācedam ilām prati./prīto 'smi hayamedhena bhaktyā ca dvijasattamāḥ, asya bāhlipateś caiva kim karomi priyam śubham/ tathā vadati deveśe dvijās te susamāhitāḥ, prasādayanti deveśam yathā syāt puruṣas tv ilā/ tataḥ prītamanā rudraḥ puruṣatvam dadau punaḥ, ilāyai sumahātejā dattvā cāntaradhīyata/ Then Budha left the ashram and the maha yagjna concluded most successfully and Maha Rudra was pleased and approached King Ila and addressed the muni brahmana ganaas all and stated that he was quite contented with the 'Yagjna karyakrama' as invoked by him and totally dedicating to him. He had finally declared King Ila to lasting 'purushatva' as a King of lasting glory. Finally, Shri Rama adderessed the mahatmya of ashvamedha yagjna citing the examples of Indra to be relieved of brahma hatya pataka and King Ila from the 'streetva-purushatva durdasha' as the golden examples.

Sargas Ninety One and Ninety Two

As per Rama's requests, invitees of Co Raja- Maharshi-Brahmana- prajas- Vaanara Rakshasa arrived as elaborate vyavastha of bhojana- nivasaadis arranged-and 'bhubhramana of Yagjnaashva' initiated

Etad ākhyāya kākutstho bhrātṛhyām amitaprabhah, laksmanam punār evāha dharmayuktam idam vacah/ vasistham vāmadevam ca jābālim atha kaśyapam, dvijāms ca sarvapravarān asvamedhapuraskṛtān/ etān sarvān samāhūya mantrayitvā ca lakṣmaṇa, hayam lakṣmaṇasampannam vimokṣyāmi samādhinā/ tad vākyam rāghaveņoktam śrutvā tvaritavikramaḥ, dvijān sarvān samāhūya darśayām āsa rāghavam/ te dṛṣṭvā devasamkāśam kṛtapādābhivandanam, rāghavam sudurādharṣam āśīrbhiḥ samapūjayan/ prāñjalis tu tato bhūtvā rāghavo dvijasāttamān, uvāca dharmasamyuktam aśvamedhāśritam vacah/ sa tesām dvijamukhyānām vākyam adbhutadarsanam, asvamedhāsritam srutvā bhrsam prīto 'bhavat tadā/ vijñāya tu matam tesām rāmo laksmanam abravīt, presayasva mahābāho sugrīvāya mahātmane/ sīghram mahadbhir haribhir bahibhiś ca tadāśrayaih, sārdham āgaccha bhadram te anubhoktum makhottamam/ vibhīṣaṇaś ca rakṣobhiḥ kāmagair bahubhir vṛtaḥ, aśvamedham mahābāhuḥ prāpnotu laghuvikramaḥ/ rājānaś ca naravyāghra ve me privacikīrsavah, sānugāh ksipram āvāntu vajñabhūmim anuttamām/ deśāntaragatā ve ca dvijā dharmaparāvanāh, nimantravasva tān sarvān aśvamedhāva laksmana/rsavaś cā mahābāho āhūyantām tapodhanāḥ, deśāntaragatā ye ca sadārāś ca maharṣayaḥ/ yajñavāṭaś ca sumahān gomatyā naimise vane, ājñāpyatām mahābāho tad dhi punyam anuttamam/ śatam vāhasahasrānām tandulānām vapusmatām, ayutam tilamudgasya prayātv agre mahābala/ suvarnakotyo bahulā hiranyasya śatottarāh, agrato bharatah krtvā gacchatv agre mahāmatih/ antarāpanavīthyaś ca sarvāms ca natanartakān, naigamān bālavrddhāms ca dvijāms ca susamāhitān karmāntikāms ca kusalāñ śilpinaś ca supaṇḍitān, mātaraś caiva me sarvāḥ kumārāntaḥpurāṇi ca/ kāñcanīṁ mama patnīṁ ca dīkṣārhām yajñakarmaṇi, agrato bharataḥ kṛtvā gacchatv agre mahāmatiḥ/

Tat sarvam akhilenāśu prasthāpya bharatāgrajaḥ, hayam lakṣmaṇasampannam kṛṣṇasāram mumoca ha/
rtvigbhir lakṣmaṇam sārdham aśve ca viniyujya saḥ, tato 'bhyagacchat kākutsthaḥ saha sainyena
naimiṣam/ yajñavāṭam mahābāhur dṛṣṭvā paramam adbhutam, praharṣam atulam lebhe śrīmān iti ca so
'bravīt/ naimiṣe vasatas tasya sarva eva narādhipāḥ, ājagmuḥ sarvarāṣṭrebhyas tān rāmaḥ
pratyapūjayat/ upakāryān mahārhāmś ca pārthivānām mahātmanām, sānugānām naraśreṣṭho vyādideśa
mahādyutiḥ, annapānāni vastrāṇi sānugānām mahātmanām, bharataḥ samdadāv āśu śatrughnasahitas
tadā/ vānarāś ca mahātmānaḥ sugrīvasahitās tadā, viprāṇām praṇatāḥ sarve cakrire pariveṣaṇam/
vibhīṣaṇaś ca rakṣobhiḥ sragvibhir bahubhir vṛtaḥ, ṛṣīṇām ugratapasām kimkaraḥ paryupasthitaḥ/ evam
suvihito yajño hayamedho 'bhyavartata, lakṣmaṇenābhiguptā ca hayacaryā pravartitā/ nānyaḥ śabdo
'bhavat tatra hayamedhe mahātmanaḥ, chandato dehi visrabdho yāvat tuṣyanti yācakāḥ, tāvad
vānararakṣobhir dattam evābhyadṛśyata/ na kaś cin malinas tatra dīno vāpy atha vā kṛśaḥ, tasmin
yajñavare rājño hṛṣṭapuṣṭajanāvṛte/ ye ca tatra mahātmāno munayaś cirajīvinaḥ, nāsmarams tādṛśam
yajñam dānaughasamalamkṛtam/ rajatānām suvarṇānām ratnānām atha vāsasām, aniśam dīyamānānām
nāntah samupadrśvate/ na śakrasya na somasya yamasya varunasya vā, īdrśo drstapūrvo na evam ūcus

tapodhanāḥ/ sarvatra vānarās tasthuḥ sarvatraiva ca rākṣasāḥ, vāso dhanāni kāmibhyaḥ pūrṇahastā dadur bhṛśam/ īdṛśo rājasiṁhasya yajñaḥ sarvaguṇānvitaḥ, saṁvatsaram atho sāgraṁ vartate na ca hīvate/

Having interacted with Bharata Lakshmanas about the examples of the glory of dutifully performing Ashwamedha Maha Yagina , then Shri Rama asked Lakshmana to request the presence of 'Brahmanaagra ganyas' and Maharshis Visishtha, Vaamadeva, Jaabaali, Kashyapaadis as also a 'shubha lakshana yuta - ashva' too. As the guests arrived accordingly, he made the announcement of his decision to duly performing the maha yagina. He was then pleased by the auspicious a'asheervachanaas' of the brahmana-maharshis. Further, Rama asked Lakshmana to invite Vaanara Raja Sugriva and 'prasiddha Vaanara veeras' as also the Rakshasa Raja Vibhishana along with his mantri- rakshasa followers too, besides those brahmanas, rishis along with their strees and families of this rajya who had gone outside too . Those sangeeta- nirithya- naataka shiromanis too be invited too. As Lakshmana sent his invitations for th ashvamedha yagina , Rama was pleased with the grand presence at the 'vishala yagina mandapa' at the 'naimishaaranya gomati nadi teera'. Then elaborate arrangements were made for 'aahaara-shayya- kreedaa vinoda- vyaapaara-manoranjana nritya naataka vyavasthas' for the millions of invitees of 'baalya-koumaara- yuva- proudha-vaardhakya praja samuhas'.

Sarga Ninety Two

As the full arrangements were made elaborately and meticulously, Shri Rama along with sena proceeded forward to Naimishaaranya having retained 'Ritvikasahita Lakshmana' for the suraksha of the Ashva Kaksha. Having reached there, Rama was truly amazed and got gladdened to see the adbhuta-vishaala yagina mandapa'. He was also appreciative of the fabulous arrangements of anna-paana-vastra-adi vyavasthas as organised. Bharata Shatrughnaas were charged with the responsibility of ever memorable Rajokta Swagata Atithi Satkaaraas. Sugriva sahita maha maanasi vaanaraas were looking after the' parama pavitra sanchatittha brahmana bhojanas' while Vibhishana along with his select rakshasas looked after the essential needs of 'tapasvirishi sevaa kaaryakramas'. Mahabali Nara shreshtha Shri Rama himself along with his sevakaas was dutiful to ensure the atithya vyayastha of co Rajas and was delighted to honour them with appropriate gifts. evam suvihito yajño hayamedho 'bhyavartata, lakṣmaṇenābhi guptā ca hayacaryā pravartitā/ nānyah śabdo 'bhavat tatra hayamedhe mahātmanah, chandato dehi visrabdho yāvat tusvanti yācakāh, tāvad vānararaksobhir dattam evābhyadrsvata/ na kas cin malinas tatra dīno vāpy atha vā krśah, tasmin yajñavare rājño hrstapustajanāvrte/ Thus the 'Ashvamedha Yagjna kaarya shubhaarambha' was initiated and so did the 'Lakshmana samrakshana yukta bhumandala bhramama' of the Yaginaashwa too or the intiation of the the sacrificial horse's wanderings of the earth. Then the single watchword of the Ashvamedha was that no word be heard of disappointment from the needy prajas nor there be a word of shortfall of supplies even temporarily. Thus even as any body of the public expressed a wish, be it a food item or of a daily need, the consumer world would get fulfilled forthwith. Then among the invited praja, Shri Rama had only saw the well fed and well contented commonality and nothing else. sarvatra vānarās tasthuḥ sarvatraiva ca rākṣasāḥ, vāso dhanāni kāmibhyah pūrnahastā dadur bhṛśam/ īdṛśo rājasimhasya yajñah sarvagunānvitah, samvatsaram atho sāgram vartate na ca hīyate/ Vaanara Rakshasaas were thus ever ready standing erect with their hands with vastra-dhana-aahaaras in plentiful magnitudes. Raja simha Shri Rama thus launched the 'maha ashvamedha yagjna' which was to span several years theresince!

Sargas Ninety Three and Ninety Four

In the context of Rama's ashvamedha yagjna, Maharshi Valmiki arrives with Kusha Lava kumaras as the latter rendered tuneful shaastriya singing of Ramayana in Rama Sabha which thrilled all and Rama too!

Vartamāne tathābhūte yajñe paramake 'dbhute, saśisya ājagāmāśu vālmīkir munipumgavah/ sa drstvā divyasamkāśam yajñam adbhutadarśanam, ekānte rsivātānām cakāra utajāñ śubhān/ sa śisyāv abravīd dhṛṣṭo yuvām gatvā samāhitau, kṛtsnam rāmāyaṇam kāvyam gāyatām parayā mudā/ ṛṣivāṭeṣu puṇyeṣu brāhmaṇāvasatheṣu ca, rathyāsu rājamārgeṣu pārthivānām grheṣu ca/ rāmasya bhavanadvāri yatra karma ca vartate, rtvijām agrataś caiva tatra gevam viśesatah/ imāni ca phalānv atra svādūni vividhāni ca, jātāni parvatāgresu āsvādyāsvādya gīyatām/ na yāsyathaḥ śramam vatsau bhakṣayitvā phalāni vai, mūlāni ca sumṛṣṭāni nagarāt parihāsyatha/ yadi śabdāpayed rāmaḥ śravaṇāya mahīpatiḥ, ṛṣīṇām upavistānām tato geyam pravartatām/ divase vimšatih sargā geyā vai parayā mudā, pramāṇair bahubhis tatra yathoddistam mayā purā/lobhaś cāpi na kartavyah svalpo 'pi dhanakānksayā, kim dhanenāśrama sthānām phalamūlopabhoginām/ yadi prechet sa kākutstho yuvām kasyeti dārakau, vālmīker atha śisyau hi brūtām evam narādhipam/imās tantrīh sumadhurāh sthānam vā pūrvadarsitam, mūrchayitvā sumadhuram gāyetām vigatajvarau/ ādiprabhṛti geyam syān na cāvajñāya pārthivam, pitā hi sarvabhūtānām rājā bhavati dharmatah/ tad yuvām hṛṣṭamanasau śvah prabhāte samādhinā, gāyetām madhuram geyam tantrīlayasamanvitam/ iti samdiśya bahuśo munih prācetasas tadā, vālmīkih paramodāras tūsnīm āsīn mahāyaśāh/ tām adbhutām tau hrdaye kumārau; niveśya vānīm rsibhāsitām śubhām, samutsukau tau sukham ūṣatur niśām; yathāśvinau bhārgavanītisamskṛtau/

Tau rajanyām prabhātāyām snātau hutahutāśanau, yathoktam ṛsinā pūrvam tatra tatrābhyagāyatām/ tām sa śuśrāva kākutsthah pūrvacaryām tatas tatah, apūrvām pāthya jātim ca geyena samalamkṛtām/ pramāṇair bahubhir baddhām tantrīlayasamanvitām, bālābhyām rāghavah śrutvā kautūhalaparo 'bhavat/ atha karmāntare rājā samānīya mahāmunīn, pārthivām's ca naravyāghraḥ paṇḍitān naigamām's tathā/ paurāṇikāñ śabdavito ye ca vṛddhā dvijātayaḥ, etān sarvān samānīya gātārau samaveśayat/ hṛṣṭā rṣigaṇās tatra pārthivāś ca mahaujasaḥ, pibanta iva cakṣurbhyāṁ rājānaṁ gāyakau ca tau/ parasparam athocus te sarva eva samam tatah, ubhau rāmasya sadṛśau bimbād bimbam ivoddhṛtau jatilau yadi na syātām na valkaladharau yadi , viśesam nādhigacchāmo gāyato rāghavasya ca/ tesām samvadatām evam śrotṛnām harsavardhanam, geyam pracakratus tatra tāv ubhau munidārakau/ tatah pravṛttam madhuram gāndharvam atimānuṣam, na ca tṛptim yayuḥ sarve śrotāro geya sampadā/ pravṛttam āditaḥ pūrvam sargān nāradadarsanāt, tatah prabhrti sargāms ca vāvadvimsatv agāvatām/ tato 'parāhnasamave rāghayah samabhāsata, śrutyā yimśatisargāms tān bharatam bhrātryatsalah/ astādaśa sahasrāni suvarņasya mahātmanoḥ, dadasva śīghram kākutstha bālayor mā vṛthā śramaḥ/ dīyamānam suvarṇam tan nāgrhnītām kuśīlavau, ūcatuś ca mahātmānau kim aneneti vismitau/ vanyena phalamūlena niratu svo vanaukasau, suvarnena hiranyena kim karisyāvahe vane/ tathā tayoh prabruvatoh kautūhalasamanvitāh, śrotāraś caiva rāmaś ca sarva eva suvismitāh/ tasya caivāgamam rāmah kāvyasya śrotum utsukah, papraccha tau mahātejās tāv ubhau munidārakau/ kimpramānam idam kāvyam kā pratisthā mahātmanaḥ, kartā kāvyasya mahataḥ ko vāsau munipumgavaḥ/ pṛcchantam rāghavam vākyam ūcatur munidārakau, vālmīkir bhagavān kartā samprāpto yajñasamnidhim, yenedam caritam tubhyam aśeṣam sampradarsitam/ādiprabhṛti rājendra pañcasarga satāni ca, pratisṭhā jīvitam yāvat tāvad rājañ śubhāśubham/ vadi buddhih krtā rājañ śravanāva mahāratha, karmāntare ksanī hūtas tac chrnusva sahānujaḥ/ bāḍham ity abravīd rāmas tau cānujñāpya rāghavam, prahṛṣṭau jagmatur vāsam yatrāsau munipumgavaḥ/ rāmo 'pi munibhiḥ sārdham pārthivaiś ca mahātmabhiḥ, śrutvā tad gītamādhuryam karmaśālām upāgamat/

As the preparations for the Ashvamedha Yagjna preparations were in full swing, Valmiki Maha Muni had arrived along with his followers as an attractive parna shala was erected for him with plenty of swadishta kanda moola phalas as the vasati griha was ideally located with all comforts. Then he asked the well built sishyas Kusha Lava to initiate Ramayana Kaavya Gaana. He also suggested that the boys should go on singing Ramayana at 'brahmana nivasa sthaanaas', lanes and byelanes, raja margas, and 'raja jana nivasa sthaanaas'. Then Maha Muni Valmiki suggested that as and when the boys might like to keep biting sweet and juicy fruits when tired and resume singing after due rest. yadi śabdāpayed rāmaḥ śravaṇāya mahīpatiḥ, ṛṣṇām upaviṣṭānām tato geyam pravartatām/ divase viṁśatiḥ sargā geyā vai paravā mudā, pramānair bahubhis tatra vathoddistam mavā purā/. Maha Muni further advised his

shishya kumaaraas that in case they were to sing Ramayana before Rishi Muni ganaas, then their behavior should be ideal and excellent. 'As I had already taught you varied and several shlokaas of Ramayana Kaavya in several sargas, you may keep reciting atleast twenty sargas at a stretch. With the assistance of this veena instrument's 'tantris' when touched by your soft fingers would create sweet sounds and the ideal places are here around for your singing 'swara yukta madhura gaanaas' from your soft lips; you may thus enjoy your self and more certainly of your ever admiring audiences too. At the commencement of your singing itself you should straightaway sing Ramayana without introductory 'aalaapanaas'. Your behaviour especially before the King should be highly devoted and well mannered so as to readily command the king's affection for you . yadi prechet sa kākutstho yuvām kasyeti dārakau, vālmīker atha śisyau hi brūtām evam narādhipam/imās tantrīh sumadhurāh sthānam vā pūrvadarśitam, mūrchayitvā sumadhuram gāyetām vigatajvarau/ ādiprabhrti geyam syān na cāvajñāya pārthivam, pitā hi sarvabhūtānām rājā bhavati dharmatah/ tad yuvām hṛstamanasau śvah prabhāte samādhinā, gāyetām madhuram geyam tantrīlayasamanvitam/ In case Maha Raja might enquire as to whose sons you were, you must only and politely reply that you were Maharshi Valmiki sishyas. This Veena has seven strings and from them one could listen to very sweet and heartenig 'swaraas'. May you make the best of the opportunity by both of you singing most in perfect unison sonorously of the ever readily absorbing Ramayana Maha Kavya. Right at the beginning without introductory 'aalaapanaas' the Kavya gaana should be started off at once. But make sure that there should never be even a sign of complex that the king might be disliked about and hence be of humility, dutiful politeness and of modesty. Both of you with concentration and with 'indriya nigraha' or high self restraint should thus start off 'laya baddha veenaa madhura gaana' of Ramayana Maha Kavya'. As Maharshi Valmiki gave a detailed briefing, Kusha Lava Kumaaras slept off comfortably by the night.

Sarga Ninety Four to follow:

By the following morning, having duly performed 'snaana-sandhya-samidha homa kaaryakramaas' had initiated Ramayana Gaana. tām sa śuśrāva kākutsthaḥ pūrvacaryām tatas tataḥ, apūrvām pāṭḥya jātim ca geyena samalamkṛtām/ pramāṇair bahubhir baddhām tantrīlayasamanvitām, bālābhyām rāghavaḥ śrutvā kautūhalaparo 'bhavat/ Shri Raghunadha too heard the Ramayana Kavya Gaana in the audience of Acharyas and felt that the Gaana shaili was in perfection with all the nuances of 'swara-aalaapanarachanaa vishesha sangeeta yukta apurva shaili.' The madhura gaana was unique by way of 'bahu sankhyaa pramaanaas' such as of 'dhvani pariccheda saadhana bhuta triaavritaas' of 'dyuta-madhyama-vilambitas's being of 'Saptavidha swara bheda siddhas' having been well tuned being veenaa laya gaana'.

[Note- Ref. Visleshana of Sangita-Swara Shastra from Narada Purana vide Essence of Valmiki Bala Ramayana]

Further stanzas to follow:

atha karmāntare rājā samānīya mahāmunīn, pārthivāmś ca naravyāghraḥ paṇḍitān naigamāms tathā/ paurāṇikāñ śabdavito ye ca vṛddhā dvijātayaḥ, etān sarvān samānīya gātārau samaveśayat/ Then Shri Rama convened a Maha Sabha of Muni-Raja-Vedavetta pandita- Pouraanika, Vayyaakarana, Swara - Sangeeta Lakshana Jnaataas, Saamudrika Lakshana Jnaataas and so on. tataḥ pravṛttam madhuram gāndharvam atimānuṣam, na ca tṛptim yayuḥ sarve śrotāro geya sampadā/ pravṛttam āditaḥ pūrvam sargān nāradadarśanāt, tataḥ prabhṛti sargāmś ca yāvadvimśaty agāyatām/ tato 'parāhṇasamaye rāghavaḥ samabhāṣata, śrutvā vimśatisargāms tān bharatam bhrātṛvatsalaḥ/ aṣṭādaśa sahasrāṇi suvarṇasya mahātmanoḥ, dadasva śīghram kākutstha bālayor mā vṛthā śramaḥ/ Then the Muni Kumaraas initiated the divya Ramayana Maha Gana. They set up tuning the strings of the Veena and sang tunefully as thed entire audience was exhilarated and mesmorised. The 'samasta sabhaa sadaas' felt that the Kusha Lava Twin brothers were just like Shri Rama in their 'haava-bhaavaas' as of his own sons. By

the noon time the Ramaayana Maha Madhura Gaana was completed and King Rama asked Bharata and arrange eighteen thousand swarna mudraas at once. Then Kusha Lava Kumaras were taken aback while offered by the King stating: 'Maha Raja! We are vana vaasis as 'phala moola jeevana nirvaahakaas' and what indeed could we ever use these gold-silvers in the aranyas'. Then Shri Rama asked them with utmost curiosity: kimpramānam idam kāvvam kā pratisthā mahātmanah, kartā kāvvasva mahatah ko vāsau munipumgavaḥ/ pṛcchantam rāghavam vākyam ūcatur munidārakau, vālmīkir bhagavān kartā samprāpto yajñasamnidhim, yenedam caritam tubhyam aśesam sampradarśitam/ Kumaraas! What is the shloka samykha on this Maha Kayya; who indeed is the Mahatma who scripted this Ramayana. Then the Muni Kumaras replied: Maha Raja! This had covered of your own life story and the author is Bhagavan Valmiki Maharshi who had kindly arrived here at the Yagjna Bhumi. The total number of this Maha Kavya is precisely twenty four thousands shlokas and one hundred 'upaakhyaanaas'. ādiprabhṛti rājendra pañcasarga śatāni ca, pratisthā jīvitam vāvat tāvad rājañ śubhāśubham vadi buddhih krtā rājañ śravanāva mahāratha, karmāntare ksanī hūtas tac chrnusva sahānujah/ bādham ity abravīd rāmas tau cānujñāpva rāghavam, prahrstau jagmatur vāsam vatrāsau munipumgavah/ Maharaja! In this maha kavya there are Five Hundred Sargas and Six Khandas, apart from that of Uttara Khanda still under process by then. Naresha! In case you are interested in hearing the entire Maha Kavya, you may ask for us at an appointed time of your covevenience during this yagina kaarya here when yout dear brothers might also be present!

Sargas Ninety Five and Ninety Six

Being pleased with Kusha Lava Ramayana Gaana, Shri Rama calls for Valmiki who certifies their origin and as Devi Sita accompanied him asserts her paativratya in a maha sabha of Tapasvis and public alike.

Rāmo bahūny ahāny eva tad gītam paramādbhutam, śuśrāva munibhih sārdham rājabhih saha vānaraih/ tasmin gīte tu vijñāya sītāputrau kuśīlavau, tasyāh parisado madhye rāmo vacanam abravīt, madvaco brūta gacchadhvam iti bhagavato 'ntikam/ yadi śuddhasamācārā yadi vā vītakalmaṣā, karotv ihātmanah śuddhim anumānya mahāmunim/ chandam munes tu vijnāva sītāvāś ca manogatam, pratvavam dātukāmāyās tatah śamsata me laghu/ śvah prabhāte tu śapatham maithilī janakātmajā, karotu pariṣanmadhye śodhanārtham mameha ca/śrutvā tu rāghavasyaitad vacaḥ paramam adbhutam, dūtāḥ samprayayur vātam yatrāste munipumgavah/ te pranamya mahātmānam jvalantam amitaprabham, ūcus te rāma vākyāni mrdūni madhurāni ca/ tesām tad bhāsitam śrutvā rāmasya ca manogatam, vijñāya sumahātejā munir vākyam athābravīt/ evam bhavatu bhadram vo yathā tusyati rāghavah, tathā karisyate sītā daivatam hi patih striyāh/ tathoktā muninā sarve rāmadūtā mahaujasah, pratyetya rāghavam sarve munivākyam babhāṣire/ tataḥ praḥṛṣṭaḥ kākutsthaḥ śrutvā vākyam mahātmanaḥ, ṛṣīms tatra sametāmś ca rājñaś caivābhyabhāṣata/ bhagavantah saśiṣyā vai sānugaś ca narādhipāḥ, paśyantu sītāśapatham yaś caivānyo 'bhikānkṣate/ tasya tadvacanam śrutvā rāghavasya mahātmanah, sarveṣam ṛṣimukhyānām sādhuvādo mahān abhūt/ rājānas ca mahātmānah prasamsanti sma rāghavam, upapannam narasrestha tvavy eva bhuvi nānvatah/ evam viniścavam krtvā śvobhūta iti rāghavah, visarjavām āsa tadā sarvāms tāñ śatrusūdanah/

Tasyām rajanyām vyuṣṭāyām yajñavāṭagato nṛpaḥ, ṛṣīn sarvān mahātejāḥ śabdāpayati rāghavaḥ/
vasiṣṭho vāmadevaś ca jābālir atha kāśyapaḥ, viśvāmitro dīrghatapā durvāsāś ca mahātapāḥ/ agastyo
'tha tathāśaktir bhārgavaś caiva vāmanaḥ, mārkaṇḍeyaś ca dīrghāyur maudgalyaś ca mahātapāḥ/
bhārgavaś cyavanaś caiva śatānandaś ca dharmavit, bharadvājaś ca tejasvī agniputraś ca suprabhaḥ/ ete
cānye ca munayo bahavaḥ samśitavratāḥ, rājānaś ca naravyāghrāḥ sarva eva samāgatāḥ/ rākṣasāś ca
mahāvīryā vānarāś ca mahābalāḥ, samājagmur mahātmānaḥ sarva eva kutūhalāt/ kṣatriyāś caiva
vaiśyāś ca śūdrāś caiva sahasraśaḥ,sītāśapathavīkṣārtham sarva eva samāgatāḥ/ tathā samāgatam
sarvam aśvabhūtam ivācalam, śrutvā munivaras tūrṇam sasītaḥ samupāgamat/ tam ṛṣim pṛṣṭhataḥ sītā
sānvagacchad avānmukhī, kṛtāñjalir bāṣpagalā kṛtvā rāmam manogatam/ tām dṛṣṭvā śrīm ivāyāntīm
brahmānam anugāminīm, vālmīkeh prsthatah sītām sādhukāro mahān abhūt/ tato halahalā śabdah

sarveṣām evam ābabhau, duḥkhajena viśālena śokenākulitātmanām/ sādhu sīteti ke cit tu sādhu rāmeti cāpare, ubhāv eva tu tatrānye sādhu sādhv iti cābruvan/ tato madhyam janaughānām praviśya munipumgavaḥ, sītāsahāyo vālmīkir iti hovāca rāghavam/ iyam dāśarathe sītā suvratā dharmacāriṇī, apāpā te parityaktā mamāśramasamīpataḥ/ lokāpavādabhītasya tava rāma mahāvrata, pratyayam dāsyate sītā tām anujñātum arhasi/ imau ca jānakī putrāv ubhau ca yamajātakau, sutau tavaiva durdharṣo satyam etad bravīmi te/ pracetaso 'ham daśamaḥ putro rāghavanandana, na smarāmy anṛtam vākyam tathemau tava putrakau/ bahuvarṣasahasrāṇi tapaścaryā mayā kṛtā, tasyāḥ phalam upāśnīyām apāpā maithilī yathā/ aham pañcasu bhūteṣu manaḥṣaṣṭheṣu rāghava, vicintya sītām śuddheti nyagṛhṇām vananirjhare/ iyam śuddhasamācārā apāpā patidevatā, lokāpavādabhītasya dāsyati pratyayam tava/

As Kusha Lavaas were still continuing Ramayana Shraavya as Rishi-Raja-Vaanra pramukhas were keenly following. There then arose a common feeling whether the Kumaras were only the Shri Rama Putras themselves! Even Shri Rama suspected thus as he recalled that as to who was the father of the boys they only replied that there were the shishyas of Maharshi Valmiki. Then he sent his messengers to approach the Maharshi that he desired for meeting the Maharshi. Then Rama felt within himself: yadi śuddhasamācārā yadi vā vītakalmaṣā, karotv ihātmanaḥ śuddhim anumānya mahāmunim/ chandam munes tu vijñāya sītāyāś ca manogatam, pratyayam dātukāmāyās tataḥ śamsata me laghu/ śvaḥ prabhāte tu śapatham maithilī janakātmajā, karotu parisanmadhye śodhanārtham mameha ca/ 'If only Maharshi would certify the 'paativratya and parishuddhata' of Devi Sita, then I would seek Maharshi's approval to be present herself here and make her declare her 'pramaana of parishuddhata' to the public of Ayodhya.' Then Shri Rama despatched his intimate persons to explain of his heart felt desire. The Maharshi was elated and asserted about Devi Sita's paativrathya and was excitedly replied: May this so happen; Devi Sita would be able to abide by Rama's instruction as indeed her husband is her Pratyaksha Devata! evam bhavatu bhadram vo yathā tusyati rāghavah, tathā karisyate sītā daivatam hi patih striyāh/ tathoktā muninā sarve rāmadūtā mahaujasah, pratyetya rāghavam sarve munivākyam babhāsire/ tatah prahṛstah kākutsthah śrutvā vākyam mahātmanah, rsīms tatra sametāms ca rājñas caivābhyabhāsata/ bhagavantah saśisyā vai sānugaś ca narādhipāh, paśyantu sītāśapatham yaś caivānyo 'bhikānkṣate/ Later on as the Maharshi's words were so soothing that Rama addressed the co rajas and maharshis and declared: 'are you all interested in Devi Sita's 'shapadha grahana' about her 'paativratya' and her purity of body and heart right on the presence of the public.'! Then the response was uproarious from maharshis, rajas and praja shreshthas; they all praised Rama that such a possibility would be possible only in ramarajya and no where else on prithyi. Then the joyous crowd departed awaiting the excitement of the following day.

Sarga Ninety Six follows:

On the following day as Shri Ramachandra reached the yagjna shaala, a multitude of Maharshis were present such as Vasishtha, Vaamadeva, Jaabaali, Kaashyapa, Vishvamitra, Deerghatama, Maha Tapasvi Durvasa, Pulsatya, Shakti, Bhargava, Vaamana, deerghajeevi Markandeya, Maha Yashasvi Moudgalya, Garga, Chyavana, Dharmajna Shataananda, Tejasvi Bharadwaaja, Agniputra Suprabha, Narada, Parvata, Maha yashasvi Gautama, Kaatyaayana, Suyagna, and Taponidhi Agastya besides many other tapasi rishis. Then Mahabali Raakshasa Vaanaraas too surrounded with 'maha koutuhala vasha buddhhi'. Naanaa desha teekshna vrata dhaaris too off chaturvarnaas too were present in the historic event. For the pratyaksh darshana and of the unmissable 'drishya' of Devi Sita's shapadha grahana, all the 'karma nishtha- jaana nishtha- yoga nishta mahatmaas' too were present as were intimated of Munivara Vaalmiki's accompanying Devi Sita. tām drṣṭvā śrīm ivāyāntīm brahmāṇam anugāminīm, vālmīkeḥ pṛṣṭhataḥ sītām sādhukāro mahān abhūt/ tato halahalā śabdaḥ sarveṣām evam ābabhau, duḥkhajena viśālena śokenākulitātmanām/ sādhu sīteti ke cit tu sādhu rāmeti cāpare, ubhāv eva tu tatrānye sādhu sādhv iti cābruvan/ tato madhyam janaughānām praviśya munipumgavaḥ, sītāsahāyo vālmīkir iti hovāca rāghavam/ Then following the footsteps of Maharshi Valmiki, Devi Sita enrered the ever mammoth Jana Maha Sabha with her head down, both her hands folded like Shrutis follow Brahma as the the maha sabha

jana samuhas went berserk with cryings of 'dhanya dhanya'! At that time samasta darshaka praja cried out loudly and some with supressed emotions. Both Shri Rama and Devi Sita alike displayed their gratitude for their compassion and sympathy for them. Then Maharshi Valmiki stated: iyam dāśarathe sītā suvratā dharmacārinī, apāpā te parityaktā mamāśramasamīpataḥ/ lokāpavādabhītasya tava rāma mahāvrata, pratvavam dāsvate sītā tām anujñātum arhasi/imau ca jānakī putrāv ubhau ca yamajātakau, sutau tavaiva durdharşo satyam etad bravīmi te/ 'Dasharathanandana! This Devi Sita is an outstanding 'uttama vrata paalaka dharma paraayani'. But you had discarded her being afraid of 'lokaapayaadaas' near my ashrama. Now she is prepared to submissively assert her 'bhoutika-maanasika parishuddaata' herself. These Kumaraas named Kusha and Lava are the twin brothers from her 'garbha' and like you they too are shaping as 'maha shura veeras as of your genes. pracetaso 'ham dasamah putro rāghavanandana, na smarāmy anrtam vākyam tathemau tava putrakau/ bahuvarsasahasrāni tapaścaryā mayā krtā, tasyāh phalam upāśnīyām apāpā maithilī yathā/ aham pañcasu bhūtesu manahsasthesu rāghava, vicintya sītām śuddheti nyagrhnām vananirjhare/ iyam śuddhasamācārā apāpā patidevatā, lokāpavādabhītasya dāsyati pratyayam tava/ Raghu kulanandana! I am the tenth son of Varuna Deva pracheta. There could naver be an untruth from my tongue. Indeed these are your own suputras, Be this known that I had perfored deep tapasya for thousand years; may such tapasya phala be trashed if I swear that Mithileshwari Devi Sita has any kind of impurity in her mind. I had never erred by my 'manasvaani-kriya' or manasaa- vaachaa-karmana. She was left alone and she had been under my care eversince and her acharana has been of 'sarvatha shuddha murtitva' or of ever spotless shine.

Sargas Ninety Seven, Ninety Eight and Ninety Nine

Devi Sita's shapatha grahana and rasaatalala pravesha-Rama's distress and Brahma reminder of Rama as avatara purusha- Rama's long life and several yaginas with Sita's suvarna pratima- glory of Rama Rajya.

Vālmīkinaivam uktas tu rāghavaḥ pratyabhāṣata, prāñjalir jagato madhye dṛṣṭvā tām devavarṇinīm/ evam etan mahābhāga yathā vadasi dharmavit, pratyayo hi mama brahmams tava vākyair akalmaṣaiḥ/ pratyayo hi purā datto vaidehvā surasamnidhau, seyam lokabhayād brahmann apāpety abhijānatā, parityaktā mavā sītā tad bhavān ksantum arhati/ jānāmi cemau putrau me vamajātau kuśīlavau, śuddhāyām jagato madhye maithilyām prītir astu me/ abhiprāyam tu vijñāya rāmasya surasattamāḥ, pitāmaham puraskrtya sarva eva samāgatāh/ ādityā vasavo rudrā viśve deśā marudganāh, aśvināv rsigandharvā apsarānām ganās tathā, sādhyāś ca devāh sarve te sarve ca paramarsayah/ tato vāyuh śubhah punyo divyagandho manoramah, tam janaugham suraśrestho hlādayām āsa sarvatah/ tad adbhutam ivācintyam nirīksante samāhitāh, mānavāh sarvarāstrebhyah pūrvam kṛtayuge yathā/ sarvān samāgatān drstvā sītā kāṣāyavāsinī, abravīt prāñjalir vākyam adhodrstir avānmukhī/ yathāham rāghavād anyam manasāpi na cintaye, tathā me mādhavī devī vivaram dātum arhati/ tathā śapantyām vaidehyām prādurāsīt tad adbhutam, bhūtalād utthitam divyam simhāsanam anuttamam/dhriyamāṇam śirobhis tan nāgair amitavikramaih, divvam divvena vapusā sarvaratnavibhūsitam/ tasmims tu dharanī devī bāhubhyām grhya maithilīm, svāgatenābhinandyainām āsane copavesavat/ tām āsanagatām drstvā praviśantīm rasātalam, puņyavṛṣṭir avicchinnā divyā sītām avākirat/ sādhukāraś ca sumahān devānām sahasotthitah, sādhu sādhv iti vai sīte yasvās te śīlam īdrśam/ evam bahuvidhā vāco hy antariksagatāh surāh, vyājahrur hṛstamanaso dṛstvā sītāpraveśanam/ yajñavātagatāś cāpi munayah sarva eva te, rājānaś ca naravyāghrā vismayān noparemire/ antarikse ca bhūmau ca sarve sthāvarajangamāh, dānavāś ca mahākāyāḥ pātāle pannagādhipāḥ/ ke cid vineduḥ samhrstāḥ ke cid dhyānaparāyaṇāḥ, ke cid rāmam nirīkṣante ke cit sītām acetanāḥ/ sītāpraveśanam dṛṣṭvā teṣām āsīt samāgamaḥ, tam muhūrtam ivātyartham sarvam sammohitam jagat/

Tadāvasāne yajñasya rāmaḥ paramadurmanāḥ, apaśyamāno vaidehīm mene śūnyam idam jagat, śokena paramāyatto na śāntim manasāgamat/ visrjya pārthivān sarvān rkṣavānararākṣasān, janaugham brahmamukhyānām vittapūrṇam vyasarjayat/ tato visrjya tān sarvān rāmo rājīvalocanaḥ, hrdi krtvā tadā sītām ayodhyām praviveśa saḥ/ na sītāyāḥ parām bhāryām vavre sa raghunandanaḥ, yajñe yajñe ca

patnyartham jānakī kāñcanī bhavat/ daśavarṣasahasrāṇi vājimedham upākarot, vājapeyān daśaguṇāms tathā bahusuvarṇakān/ agniṣṭomātirātrābhyām gosavaiś ca mahādhanaiḥ, īje kratubhir anyaiś ca sa śrīmān āptadakṣiṇaiḥ/ evam sa kālaḥ sumahān rājyasthasya mahātmanaḥ, dharme prayatamānasya vyatīyād rāghavasya tu/ rkṣavānararakṣāmsi sthitā rāmasya śāsane, anurajyanti rājāno ahany ahani rāghavam/ kāle varṣati parjanyaḥ subhikṣam vimalā diśaḥ, hṛṣṭapuṣṭajanākīrṇam puram janapadas tathā/ nākāle mriyate kaś cin na vyādhiḥ prāṇinām tadā, nādharmaś cābhavat kaś cid rāme rājyam praśāsati/ atha dīrghasya kālasya rāmamātā yaśasvinī, putrapautraiḥ parivṛtā kāladharmam upāgamat/ anviyāya sumitrāpi kaikeyī ca yaśasvinī, dharmam kṛtvā bahuvidham tridive paryavasthitā/ sarvāḥ pratiṣṭhitāḥ svarge rājñā daśarathena ca, samāgatā mahābhāgāḥ saha dharmam ca lebhire/ tāsām rāmo mahādānam kāle kāle prayacchati, mātṛṇām aviśeṣeṇa brāhmaṇeṣu tapasviṣu/ pitryāṇi bahuratnāni yajñān paramadustarān, cakāra rāmo dharmātmā pitṛn devān vivardhayan/

As Maharshi vouchsafed Devi Sita's character and purity of physical-mental and spiritual blemishes, she stood amidst the 'prajaaneeka' and having glanced Rama once addressed him as follows: evam etan mahābhāga yathā vadasi dharmavit, pratyayo hi mama brahmams tava vākyair akalmaṣaiḥ/ pratyayo hi purā datto vaidehyā surasamnidhau, seyam lokabhayād brahmann apāpety abhijānatā, parityaktā mayā sītā tad bhavān kṣantum arhati/jānāmi cemau putrau me yamajātau kuśīlavau, śuddhāyām jagato madhye maithilyām prītir astu me/ Mahabhaga! You are fully aware of the virtuosity of 'dharrmanyaayaas' for sure. Now this had since been said about me earlier and vindicated now is understandable. Earlier too that kind of agni pareeksha in the presence of devas did happen and thus I got admission in your premises. But as there were serious public allegations and hence I was left away high and dry for which too you might excuse me too. Now I guess that since I was blessed with twin kumaraas, the public was happy and they had sought to forget and forgive. Now even Deva Samuhas headed by Brahma had arrived here to ascertain Rama nirnaya at th time of Sita's 'shapadha'. Even Adbhutha-Vasu-Rudra Deva-Marudgana-Saadhya Devas-Maharshis-Naga-Garuda-Siddha ganas too had arrived to hear Shri Rama nirnaya and the suspense therebefore. Vayu Deva too has since cooled down to mild flows with fragrant smells to enthuse the maha prajasamudaaya as collected her.' So saying, Devi Sita halted for a while, she folded her hands, and lowering her looks down, she resumed again and stated thus: yathāham rāghavād anyam manasāpi na cintave, tathā me mādhavī devī vivaram dātum arhati/Manasaa karmanaa vaachaa yathaa Raamam samarchaye, tathaa me Maadhavi Devi vivaram daatumarhati/Yayaitat satyamuktam me vedmi raamat param na cha,tathaame Maadhavi devi vivaram daatumarhati/ If only have had never touched endearingly any Para Purusha except Shri Raghunadha Shri Rama either mentally much less physically, may Mother Prithvi accept me in her fold. I have always had executed Shri Rama's 'aaraadhana' by way of manasa-vaacha - kriya rupa and if this assertion of mine be truthful, may Bhagavati Prithvi accept me in her fold. tathā śapantyām vaidehyām prādurāsīt tad adbhutam, bhūtalād utthitam divyam simhāsanam anuttamam/dhriyamānam śirobhis tan nāgair amitavikramaih, divyam divyena vapuṣā sarvaratnavibhūṣitam/ As Videhakumari Devi Siita had thaken a Satya Pratigjna, there was a roar of Bhumi or a partial quake of earth and one could vision a glittering golden throne and a 'divya ratna vibhushita Naaga Devatas' lifting up at Devi Sita's divya paada dwayas. tasmims tu dharaṇī devī bāhubhyām grhya maithilīm, svāgatenābhinandyainām āsane copaveṣayat/ tām āsanagatām dṛṣṭvā praviśantīm rasātalam, punyayrstir avicchinnā divyā sītām avākirat/ sādhukāraś ca sumahān devānām sahasotthitah, sādhu sādhv iti vai sīte yasyās te śīlam īdrśam/Then Prithvi Devi gave her divya darshana being seated on the throne and having softly lifted Devi Sita's body, made her seated on her laps as both the Devis Prithvi and Sita were well settled as the earthly cover got gently closed. There were 'harshanaadaaas' alike by the celestials and maharshi tapasvis hailed as the prajaaneekas who were mesmerised and confounded.

[Vishleshana on Devi Sita's 'Parandhaama' and an over view of termination of Ramaavataara vide Padma Purana in Essence:

After the successful completion of Ashvamedha Yagna, Shri Rama continued his normal routine of observing celibacy and administration. Shatrughna killed Lavanaura and ruled Madhurapuri; Bharat administered both the banks of River Sindhu and controlled Gandharvas; Lakshman conquered Madra desha, installed his sons as the Kings and returned to Rama for providing service to him. Shri Rama did Ashvamedha Yanga, after installing a Golden Pratima of Sita; in fact he performed several Yagnas in the same manner. Sage Valmiki exhorted Rama about Sita's spotlessness and piousness time and again and Shri Rama finally opined that indeed he was fully aware of her chastity and purity but since the allegation came from the Praja (Public), Sita should prove her innocence before the people. Sita then declared in a huge Sabha that if she performed puja to any body else excepting Shri Ram in her mind, thought, tongue or action then my mother Bhu Devi might take her into her mother's fold. Immediately, there was an Earth-quake and Sita entered into a huge cleavage. (at Sitamarhi, Bihar) Bhu Devi herself lifted Sita into her belly and the great Garuda, the Carrier of Lord Vishnu, lifted her from Rasatala to Vishnu loka as seated on a Golden Throne. After Sita's disappearance, Shri Rama ruled for eleven thousand years. One day, an old Tapasvi came to see Shri Ram and told him that none should enter his Chamber while he was giving an important message from Lord Brahma in secrecy. Shri Rama called Lakshmana and instructed that none should be allowed to enter as long as he was conversing with the Tapasvi and otherwise that person should be punishable with death. Lakshman himself stood at the door and ensured that none would disturb. The Tapasvi conveyed that since the death of Ravana, Kumbhakarna and other demons Rama was to live for eleven thousand years and that it was time for Rama to leave Earth and return to Vaikuntha. While this secret conversation was going on, Durvasa Maharshi arrived and wished to meet Shri Rama, but Lakshmana declined entry stating that a representative of Brahma was in an important conversation and that he could not see Shri Rama then. Durvasa grew angry and threatened Lakshmana with a severe curse if he did not permit entry. As there was no other alternative between Rama's instruction and Durvasa's threat of curse, Lakshman entered River Sarayu, taking his original Swarupa of Ananta Naga with thousand hoods. After the meeting with Kaala Deva in the form of the old Tapasvi, Rama realised that Lakshman also having gone, it was time for him also to terminate his 'Avatar'; he established Kusha in KushavatiKingdom and Lava in Dwaravati as their Kings. Taking a hint from Shri Rama, Vibishana, Sugriva, Jambavan, Hanuman, Neela, Nala, Sushena and Nishada Raja Guha arrived. Shatrughna performed the coronatation of his sons at Ayodhya. The rest of them said that they would not like to stay back on Earth in the abscence of Rama even for a moment. But Rama asked Vibhishana to continue in power at Lanka for long time and instructed Hanuman to continue on Earth forever to sustain the message of Shi Rama. The rest of them accompanied Shri Rama into the SacredSarayuRiver. Bharat, Shatrughna, and all the citizens of Ayodhya along with their wives, Mantris, Servants, Vedikas, Brahmanas, the nearby animals, birds, and all other Beings who accompanied Shri Rama never looked back. As Shri Rama went deep into the River, Lord Brahma, Devas, Rishis and all Celestial Beings extolled Raghunatha even as He took the Huge Form of Maha Vishnu with his four hands along with Bharata as Shankha, Shatrughna as Chakra, as also Gada with Shri Devi and Bhu Devi beside Him.]

Sarga Ninety Eight continued:

As Rishi Muni Praja Vanaras were bewildered at tha Sita Parandhama, Shri Rama kept on crying away incessenetly; he wept loudly that Devi Sita was no more visible except on memory screens now. 'It was for the first time that she was visible after long 'Sitanveshana' with untold and relentless efforts. On return from Ayodhya, there had been such fast twists and twirls of fate. Pujaniya Bhagavati Devi Vasundhara! Do kindly return to me my Sita! Other wise, I would have to display my anguished anger on you. Are you really aware of the consequences of my anger! Truly saying that you are my mother - inlaw; King Janaka was entrusted the responsibility to upbring her. Either you return Sita to me or let my join her in rasatala as I had been repeatedly deprived me of her companionship. Be that paataala or svarga, but I would not be able to miss her any further! As Rama was beating his chest out like wise, with anguish and frustration, Brahma Deva appeared along with Devas. *Rama Rama na santaapam kartumarhasi suvrata, smara twam purvakam bhaavam mantramchaamitrakarshana*/ 'Rama! Do recall

your 'purva swarupa smarana' of Vaishnavatva. He said that Saadhvi Sita was 'sarvathaa shuddha paraayana' and was desirours of your nearness for some time and had since returned to her 'parandhaama' to amuse the Naaga loka for some time. Therafter once again, she would return to your 'Saaketa dhaama'. Meanwhile your 'charitra sambandha divya kaavya Ramaayana' would detail and be popular for ever. Eversince your birth your life had been detailed with a mix of sukha-duhkhas as of ideal mortals. Shri Rama! This Ramayana is truly depictive of your entire life. *Aadikaavyamidam Rama twayi savram pratishthitam, nanyorhati kaavyaanaam yashobhaaga Raaghavaadrute*/ Shri Rama! This indeed is the adi kaavya of lasting fame in which none of your activities were hidden and are ever truthful. You may yourself go through yourself with concentration. Now what would happen ahead too had been delineated in the 'antima bhaaga' as the Uttara Ramayana. This too may be read or heard aloud in the company of Rishis. Raghunandana! You are a sarvotkrishtta Rajarshi! One ought to hear-or read and ponder about your own life story ever foremost'. Having so detailed, Brahma Deva disappeared. Then Shri Rama looked at Maharshi Valmiki and stated that indeed it would be of interest to read the Uttara Ramayana too. There after the Maharshi returned back to the ashram along with Kusha Lavas too.

Sarga Ninety Nine continued: Next morning Shri Rama invited reputed Munis and asked his sons Kusha Lavas to initiate the 'bhavishya jeevana sambandha uttara khanda ramaayana'. At the termination of the ashvameda yagina, Rama was trulu drowned in deep distress. In the absence of Devi Sita he felt disillusioned with 'samsaara'. Thereafter as the asvamedha yagina was concluded, Rama returned to Ayodhya. Thereafter, he initiated living with the sons and never even thought of remarriage being of 'ekapatnivrata'. At each of the subsequent yagina karyaas, the need for a 'saha dharmachaarini' was then fulfilled by a golden pratima of Devi Sita. Dasha varsha sahasraani vaajimedhaanathaa karit, vaajapeyaan dadhagunaantasthaa bahusuvarnakaan/ He had thus executed ten thousand years long yagina karyaas, and 'asankhya suvarna mudra dakshinas'. Thus the entire bhumandala rajaas were too happy to be his 'subsidiaris' quite beside his own prajaas were well contented under his administration. Vaanara-bhalluka-rakshasas were ever under his unique administration. Kaale varshati parjanyah subhiksham vimalaa dishah, hrishtha pushtha janaakeernam puram janapadaastathaa/ In the Rama Rajya, the clouds were yilding timely rains and there were no 'akaala mrityus' of anysort. The praja was ever happy and joyous with aarogya always without tapatrayas of 'Adhi Bhoudika' or Ailments of Physical Nature; 'Adhyatmika' or of Mental-Psychological Nature; and 'Adhi Daivika' or of Natural Calamities like Earth quakes, floods, lightnings etc. beyond human control. Adhyatmika based Tapaas are either due to 'Shaaririka' (physical) ailments or 'Manasika' (psychological) imbalances. Shaaririka Tapaas include dieseases related to head, digestive, heart, breathing, vision, limbs, skin, fevers and so on; related are the various physiological problems of blood-urinary-pelvic nature. Manasika Tapaas are related to Kama, Krodha, Bhaya, Dwesha, lobha, Moha, Vishada, Shoka, Asuya, Apamana, Irshya, Matsara etc. Adhi Bhoutika Tapaas are due to the difficulties attributed to animals, birds, Pishachaas, Serpents, Rakshasaas and poisonous related creatures like scorpions. The troubles on account of Adhidaivika nature are due to cold, heat, air, rains, drought, water, earthquakes, cyclones and so on. Additionally, the troubles are related to birth, childhood, youth, old age, ignorance, Avidya, loneliness, smell, lack of resources, poverty, immaturity, inexperience, lack of opportunity, fear of death, death itself and multiple kinds of experiences of Naraka.

Sargas Hundred and Hundred One

At the instance of Bharta's maternal uncle's message, Rama readily agreed to attack Gandharva Desha and following the victory, Bharata kumaras Taksha and Pushkala set up two saamanta rajyas happily

Kasya cit tv atha kālasya yudhājit kekayo nṛpaḥ, svagurum preṣayām āsa rāghavāya mahātmane/ gārgyam aṅgirasaḥ putram brahmarṣim amitaprabham, daśa cāśvasahasrāṇi prītidānam anuttamam/ kambalāni ca ratnāni citravastram athottamam, rāmāya pradadau rājā bahūny ābharaṇāni ca/śrutvā tu rāghavo gārgyam maharṣim samupāgatam, mātulasyāśvapatinaḥ priyam dūtam upāgatam/ pratyud - gamya ca kākutsthah krośamātram sahānugah, gārgyam sampūjayām āsa dhanam tat pratigrhya ca/ prstvā ca prītidam sarvam kuśalam mātulasya ca, upavistam mahābhāgam rāmah prastum pracakrame/ kim āha matulo vākyam yadartham bhagavān iha, prāpto vākyavidām śrestha sākṣād iva bṛhaspatih/ rāmasya bhāṣitam śrutvā brahmarṣiḥ kāryavistaram, vaktum adbhutasamkāśam rāghavāyopacakrame/ mātulas te mahābāho vākvam āha nararsabha, vudhājit prītisamvuktam śrūvatām vadi rocate/ avam gandharvavişayalı phalamūlopaśobhitalı, sindhor ubhayatalı pārśve deśalı paramaśobhanalı/ tam ca rakṣanti gandharvāḥ sāyudhā yuddhakovidāḥ, śailūṣasya sutā vīrās tisraḥ koṭyo mahābalāḥ/ tān vinirjitya kākutstha gandharvavisayam subham, nivesaya mahābāho dve pure susamāhitah/ anyasya na gatis tatra deśaś cāyam suśobhanah, rocatām te mahābāho nāham tvām anrtam vade/ tac chrutvā rāghavah prīto maharser mātulasya ca, uvāca bādham ity evam bharatam cānvavaiksata/ so 'bravīd rāghavah prītah prāñjalipragraho dvijam, imau kumārau tam deśam brahmarse vijayisyatah/ bharatasyātmajau vīrau taksah puskala eva ca, mātulena suguptau tau dharmena ca samāhitau/ bharatam cāgratah kṛtvā kumārau sabalānugau, nihatya gandharvasutān dve pure vibhajisyatah/ niveśya te puravare ātmājau samnivešya ca, āgamişyati me bhūyah sakāśam atidhārmikah/ brahmarşim evam uktvā tu bharatam sabalānugam, ājñāpayām āsa tadā kumārau cābhyasecayat/ naksatrena ca saumyena puraskṛtyāṅgiraḥ sutam, bharataḥ saha sainyena kumārābhyāṁ ca niryayau/ sā senā śakrayukteva naragān niryayāv atha, rāghavānugatā dūram durādharṣā surāsuraiḥ/ māmsāśīni ca sattvāni rakṣāmsi sumahānti ca, anujagmuś ca bharatam rudhirasya pipāsayā/ bhūtagrāmāś ca bahavo māmsabhaksāh sudārunāh, gandharvaputramāmsāni bhoktukāmāh sahasraśah/ simhavyāghrasrgālānām khecarānām ca pakṣiṇām, bahūni vai sahasrāṇi senāyā yayur agratah/ adhyardhamāsam uṣitā pathi senā nirāmayā 7090025c hrstapustajanākīrnā kekayam samupāgamat/

śrutvā senāpatim prāptam bharatam kekayādhipaḥ, yudhājid gārgyasahitam parām prītim upāgamat/ sa niryayau janaughena mahatā kekayādhipah, tvaramāno 'bhicakrāma gandharvān devarūpinah/ bharatas' ca yudhājic ca sametau laghuvikramau, gandharvanagaram prāptau sabalau sapadānugau/ śrutvā tu bharatam prāptam gandharvās te samāgatāh, voddhukāmā mahāvīryā vinadantah samantatah/ tatah samabhavad yuddham tumulam lomaharsanam, saptarātram mahābhīmam na cānyatarayor jayah/ tato rāmānujah kruddhah kālasvāstram sudārunam, samvartam nāma bharato gandharvesv abhyayojavat/ te baddhāh kālapāśena saṃvartena vidāritāh, ksanenābhihatās tisras tatra kotvo mahātmanā/ taṁ ghātaṁ ghorasamkāśam na smaranti divaukasah, nimeṣāntaramātreṇa tādṛśānām mahātmanām/ hateṣu teṣu vīresu bharatah kaikayīsutah, niveśayām āsa tadā samrddhe dve purottame, taksam taksaśilāyām tu puskaram puskarāvatau/ gandharvadeśo ruciro gāndhāravisavaś ca sah, varsaih pañcabhir ākīrno visayair nāgarais tathā/ dhanaratnaughasampūrno kānanair upaśobhite, anyonyasamgharsakrte spardhayā gunavistare/ ubhe suruciraprakhye vyavahārair akalmasaih, udyānayānaughayrte suvibhaktāntarāpaņe/ ubhe puravare ramye vistarair upaśobhite, grhamukhyaiḥ surucirair vimānaiḥ samavarnibhiḥ/śobhite śobhanīyaiś ca devāyatanavistaraiḥ, niveśya pañcabhir varṣair bharato rāghavānujaḥ, punar āyān mahābāhur ayodhyām kaikayīsutaḥ/ so 'bhivādya mahātmānam sākṣād dharmam iyaparam, raghayam bharatah śrīman brahmanam iya yasayah/ śaśamsa ca yathayrttam gandharvavadham uttamam, niveśanam ca deśasya śrutvā prīto 'sya rāghavaḥ/

As the Rama Rajya was settled for thousand of of years, one day Kaikeyadesha Raja the maternal uncle of Bharata sent Brahmarshi Gargya and presented himself with ten thousand horses, kambalas and various vichirta vastraabharanaas as Shri Rama, Bharata Lakshmanas had heartily welcomed the Brahmarshi and conveyed the message of King Yudhajit that he was for the time camping at the Sindhu Nadi banks which was a picturesque place of pushpa-phala samriddhi and would be happy if Bharata too could visit the place for enjyoing prakriti soundarya. Brahmarshi Gargya further asked to convey that on the other banks of the Sindhu River was the Gandharva Rajya ruled by Gandharva Raja named Shilusha with some three crore gandharvas who were not only yoddhas of high caliber being astra-shsastra sampannas. Gargya Maharshi further conveyed to Rama of what Kng Yudhajit asked to convey to Shri Rama to subdue to the Gandharvas and take over Gandharva Nagara as that kingdom was well worth conquering. Having thus heard of what Kaikeya Raja, Shri Rama looked at Bharata and assured the Brahmarshi that Bharata and

his kumaras named Taksha and Pushkala would take over the kingship of the Gandharva Desha eventually. 'May these Kumaras headed by Bharata attack gandharvas and th Gandharva Raja and Raja kumaras be killed and convert the Gandarva Desha be bifurcated as duel kingdoms under Taksha and Pushkala'. Having declared thus Shri Rama performed the rajyabhisheka to Bharata Kumaras. Therafter, Mahashi Gargya decided on the shubha dina-mrigashira nakshatra for the vijaya yatra under the command of Bharata. On way, the Bhrata Sena took the blessings of Kaikeya Raja Yudhhajita and proceeded to the Gandharva Rajya.

Sarga Hundred one continued further: As Kaikeya Raja heard this hearty development of Shri Rama's decisiveness, he agreed to join the Rama Bharata Sena too. Then the 'maha sangrama' was declared and coninued for seven days and nights. Manusha body parts started floating in the streams of of blood flows as the aayudha praharas of shakti-shula-gada- dhanush sounds hit sky high clouds turning red from blue colors. tato rāmānujah kruddhah kālasyāstram sudāruņam, samvartam nāma bharato gandharvesv abhyayojayat/ te baddhāḥ kālapāśena samvartena vidāritāḥ, kṣaṇenābhihatās tisras tatra koṭyo mahātmanā/ tam ghātam ghorasamkāśam na smaranti divaukasah, nimesāntaramātrena tādrśānām mahātmanām/ Then Ramanuja Bharata got intensley infuriated and released 'atyanta bhayankara mahastra' named Samvarta which in a matter of minutes devastated three crore gandharvas. Indeed that kind of maha samgrama was reminiscent od Rama Ravana yuddha. hatesu tesu vīresu bharatah kaikayīsutah, niveśayām āsa tadā samṛddhe dve purottame, taksam taksaśilāyām tu puskaram puṣkarāvatau/Taksham Tahshashilaayaam tu pushkalam pushkalaavate/ gandharvadeśo ruciro gāndhāraviṣayaś ca saḥ, varṣaiḥ pañcabhir ākīrno viṣayair nāgarais tathā/ Having thus occupied the gandhaya desha, Bharata had instantly decided to bifurcate the erstwhile Gandharva Desha .Manohara Gandharva desha had since been named as Takshashila Nagari under the rule of Taksha Raja and Pushkala Nagari under the rule of Pushkala Raja. dhanaratnaugha -sampūrno kānanair upaśobhite, anyonyasamgharsakṛte spardhayā gunavistare/ ubhe suruciraprakhye vyavahārair akalmasaih, udyānayānaughayrte suvibhaktāntarāpane/ ubhe puravare ramye vistarair upaśobhite, grhamukhyaih surucirair vimānaih samavarnibhih/ These two Nagaras were of dhana-dhanya-ratna bharaas with prosperous green fields and both the kingdoms were of outstanding camaraderie and 'bhratru prema', with 'vritti-vyaapaara shuddha saralataas.' On return to Ayodhya, Bharata conveyed the best possible settlement of his kumaras, thanks to the ready response of Shri Rama to occupy the Gandharva Desha, at the instance of his maternal uncle as ably and deftly conveyed by Brahmarshi Gargya.

Sarga Hundred Two

Eventually, Lashmana Kumaras named Angada and Chandraketu got settled at Angadeeya and Chandrakanta Rajyas

Tac chrutvā harṣam āpede rāghavo bhrātṛbhiḥ saha, vākyam cādbhutasamkāśam bhrātṛn provāca rāghavaḥ/imau kumārau saumitre tava dharmaviśāradau, angadaś candraketuś ca rājyārhau dṛḍhadhanvinau/imau rājye 'bhiṣekṣyāmi deśaḥ sādhu vidhīyatām, ramaṇīyo hy asambādho rametām yatra dhanvinau/ na rājñām yatra pīdā syān nāśramāṇām vināśanam, sa deśo dṛśyatām saumya nāparādhyāmahe yathā/ tathoktavati rāme tu bharataḥ pratyuvāca ha, ayam kārāpatho deśaḥ suramaṇyo nirāmayaḥ/ niveśyatām tatra puram aṅgadasya mahātmanaḥ, candraketoś ca ruciram candrakāntam nirāmayam/ tad vākyam bharatenoktam pratijagrāha rāghavaḥ, tam ca kṛtā vaśe deśam aṅgadasya nyaveśayat/ aṅgadīyā purī ramyā aṅgadasya niveśitā, ramaṇīyā suguptā ca rāmeṇākliṣṭakarmaṇā/ candraketus tu mallasya mallabhūmyām niveśitā, candrakānteti vikhyātā divyā svargapurī yathā/ tato rāmaḥ parām prītim bharato lakṣmaṇas tathā, yayur yudhi durādharṣā abhiṣekam ca cakrire/ abhiṣicya kumārau dvau prasthāpya sabalānugau, aṅgadam paścimā bhūmim candraketum udanmukham/ aṅgadam cāpi saumitrir lakṣmaṇo 'nujagāma ha, candraketos tu bharataḥ pārṣṇigrāho babhūva ha/ lakṣmaṇas tv aṅgadīyāyām samvatsaram athoṣitaḥ, putre sthite durādharṣe ayodhyām punar āgamat/ bharato 'pi tathaivoṣya samvatsaram athādhikam, ayodhyām punar agamya rāmapādāv upāgamat/

ubhau saumitribharatau rāmapādāv anuvratau, kālam gatam api snehān na jajñāte 'tidhārmikau/ evam varṣasahasrāṇi daśateṣām yayus tadā, dharme prayatamānānām paurakāryeṣu nityadā/ vihṛtya lākam paripūrṇamānasāḥ; śriyā vṛtā dharmapathe pare sthitāḥ,trayaḥ samiddhā iva dīptatejasā; hutāgnayaḥ sādhu mahādhvare trayaḥ/

Shri Rama was extremely delighted that Bharata Putras Taksha Pushkalas were well settled in their own rajyas happily and addressed Lakshmana that his putras Angada and Chandraketu too were dharma paraakramis and they too deserve and ripe for rajyaabhishekaas. tathoktavati rāme tu bharatah pratyuvāca ha, ayam kārāpatho deśah suramanyo nirāmayah/ niveśyatām tatra puram angadasya mahātmanah, candraketoś ca ruciram candrakāntam nirāmayam/ tad vākyam bharatenoktam pratijagrāha rāghavaḥ, tam ca kṛtā vaśe deśam aṅgadasya nyaveśayat/ aṅgadīyā purī ramyā aṅgadasya niveśitā, ramanīyā suguptā ca rāmenāklistakarmanā/ candraketus tu mallasya mallabhūmyām niveśitā, candrakānteti vikhyātā divyā svargapurī yathā/ Then Bharata suggested as follows: 'Arya Shri Rama! That Kaarupapatha Desha is stated to be very attractive and the prajas there are with no fear of roga vyaadhis but are of 'dharma vyavaharis'. It should be appropriate for Angada to set up a 'Nagara Rajya' on the lines of Ayodhya the City Kingdom as that place indeed is reputed for excellent health being an 'arogya vardhini'; that city state be named as Angadeeya. Further, Chandraketu is well known as a 'malla yuddhha vishaarada' and the Malla Desha there could be a Chandrakanta puri with could be developed as of Swargaloka's Amaravati Puri!' As Bharata suggested, Rama Lashmanaas were delighted with contentment. Then Shri Rama had duly performed rajyaabhishekas. In the course of time, Sumitra kumara Lakshmana along with Bharata accompanied Angada Kumara to Angadeeya as also Chandeaketu to Chandrakanta puri and having got settled the kumaras over a year's time returned to Ayodhya. Subsequently, Rama Rajya lasted for a thousand years under the benign Kingship of Ayodhya.

Sargas Hundred Three and Hundred Four

At the behest of Brahma, Kaala Devata arrives and conveys to Shri Rama in a 'one to one' secrecy that Vishnu as Shri Rama might like to terminate Ramavataara as Rama too agrees

Kasyacit tv atha kālasya rāme dharmapathe sthite, kālas tāpasarūpeņa rājadvāram upāgamat/ so 'bravīl laksmanam vākyam dhrtimantam yaśasvinam, mām nivedaya rāmāya samprāptam kāryagauravāt/ dūto hy atibalasyāham maharşer amitaujasah, rāmam didrkşur āyātah kāryeņa hi mahābala/ tasya tadvacanam śrutvā saumitris tvarayānvitah, nyavedayata rāmāya tāpasasya vivakṣitam/ jayasva rājan dharmena ubhau lokau mahādyute, dūtas tvām drastum āyātas tapasvī bhāskaraprabhah/ tad vākyam lakşmanenoktam śrutvā rāma uvāca ha, praveśyatām munis tāta mahaujās tasya vākyadhṛk/ saumitris tu tathety uktvā prāveśayata tam munim, įvalantam iva tejobhih pradahantam ivāmśubhih/ so 'bhigamya raghuśrestham dīpyamānam svatejasā, rsir madhurayā vācā vardhasvety āha rāghavam/ tasmai rāmo mahātejāh pūjām arghva purogamām, dadau kuśalam avvagram prastum caivopacakrame/ prsthaś ca kuśalam tena rāmena vadatām varah, āsane kāñcane divye niṣasāda mahāyaśāh/ tam uvāca tato rāmah svāgatam te mahāmune, prāpayasva ca vākyāni yato dūtas tvam āgataḥ/ codito rājasimhena munir vākyam udīrayat, dvandvam etat pravaktavyam na ca caksur hatam vacah/ yah śrnoti nirīksed vā sa vadhyas tava rāghava, bhaved vai munimukhyasya vacanam yady aveksase/ tatheti ca pratijñāya rāmo laksmanam abravīt, dvāri tistha mahābāho pratihāram visarjaya/ sa me vadhyah khalu bhavet kathām dvandvasamīritām, rser mama ca saumitre paśyed vā śrnuyā ca yah/ tato niksipya kākutstho laksmanam dvārasamgrahe, tam uvāca munim vākyam kathayasveti rāghavaḥ/yat te manīṣitam vākyam yena vāsi samāhitaḥ, kathayasva viśankas tvam mamāpi hṛdi vartate/

śŗņu rāma mahābāho yadartham aham āhataḥ, pitāmahena devena preṣito 'smi mahābala/ tavāham pūrvake bhāve putraḥ parapuramjaya, māyāsambhāvito vīra kālaḥ sarvasamāharaḥ/ pitāmahaś ca bhagavān āha lokapatiḥ prabhuḥ, samayas te mahābāho svarlokān parirakṣitum/ samkṣipya ca purā lokān māyayā svayam eva hi, mahārṇave śayāno 'psu mām tvam pūrvam ajījanaḥ/ bhogavantam tato

nāgam anantam udake śayam, māyayā janayitvā tvam dvau ca sattvau mahābalau/ madhum ca kaiṭabham caiva yayor asthicayair vrtā, iyam parvatasambādhā medinī cābhavan mahī/ padme divyārkasamkāśe nābhyām utpādya mām api, prājāpatyam tvayā karma sarvam mayi niveśitam/ so 'ham samnyastabhāro hi tvām upāse jagatpatim, rakṣām vidhatsva bhūteṣu mama tejaḥ karo bhavān/ tatas tvam api durdharṣas tasmād bhāvāt sanātanāt, rakṣārtham sarvabhūtānām viṣṇutvam upajagmivān/ adityām vīryavān putro bhrātṛṇām harṣavardhanaḥ, samutpanneṣu krtyeṣu lokasāhyāya kalpase/ sa tvam vitrāsyamānāsu prajāsu jagatām vara, rāvaṇasya vadhākānkṣī mānuṣeṣu mano 'dadhāḥ/ daśavarṣasahasrāṇi daśavarṣaśatāni ca, krtvā vāsasya niyatim svayam evātmanaḥ purā/ sa tvam manomayaḥ putraḥ pūrṇāyur mānuṣeṣv iha, kālo naravaraśreṣṭha samīpam upavartitum/ yadi bhūyo mahārāja prajā icchasy upāsitum, vasa vā vīra bhadram te evam āha pitāmahaḥ/ atha vā vijigīṣā te suralokāya rāghava, sanāthā viṣṇunā devā bhavantu vigatajvarāḥ/ śrutvā pitāmahenoktam vākyam kālasamīritam, rāghavaḥ prahasan vākyam sarvasamhāram abravīt/ śrutam me devadevasya vākyam paramam adbhutam, prītir hi mahatī jātā tavāgamanasambhavā/ Trayaanaamapi lokaanaam karyaartham mama sambhavah, bhadram testu gamishyaami yata evaahamaagatah/

In course of time, saakshaat Kaala Tapasvi arrived in Ayodhya and approached Lakshmana stating that he was Maharshi Atibala's messenger and that he should intimate of his arrival to Shri Rama and . As Lakshmana intimated Shri Rama accordingly, the Kaala Tapasvi approached the latter and stated: that the outstanding Kingship of Shri Rama accorded him the 'vijaya prapti' of 'iha loka' and 'para lokas' too. I have arrived here as the messenger of a Maha Tapasvi who had asked me convey a message to Rama personally. Then Lakshmana conveyed Shri Rama about of the new arrival and what all he stated. Then Shri Rama welcomed the taapasvi, offered 'paada-arghya-pujana-suvarnaasanadi' courtesies and asked as to what was that he desired to convey. codito rājasimhena munir vākyam udīrayat, dvandvam etat pravaktavyam na ca caksur hatam vacah/ yah śrnoti nirīksed vā sa vadhyas tava rāghava, bhaved vai munimukhyasya vacanam yady aveksase/ tatheti ca pratijñāya rāmo laksmanam abravīt, dvāri tistha mahābāho pratihāram visarjaya/ sa me vadhyah khalu bhavet kathām dvandvasamīritām, rser mama ca saumitre paśyed vā śrnuyā ca yaḥ/Then the Maha Muni stated that what he was about to convey to Rama was meant only for him ONLY. Any third party who might hear and know of should be worthy of being killed by Rama or Lakshmana. Then Shri Rama instructed Lakshmana to guard the entrance gate of the chamber as any third entrant seeking to enter be worthy of being killed at once. Having stated thus, Shri Rama assured the Maha Muni to convey in one to one secrecy.

Sarga Hundred and Four continued: śrnu rāma mahābāho yadartham aham āhatah, pitāmahena devena presito 'smi mahābala/tavāham pūrvake bhāve putrah parapuramjaya, māyāsambhāvito vīra kālah sarvasamāharaḥ/ pitāmahaś ca bhagavān āha lokapatiḥ prabhuḥ, samayas te mahābāho svarlokān parirakşitum/ samkşipya ca purā lokān māyayā svayam eva hi, mahārṇave śayāno 'psu mām tvam pūrvam ajījanah/ Maha Satyashaali Maha Raja! Pitamaha Brahma had commanded me to convet these words to you and you may please listen to me carefully. 'In my purvaastha, at the time of Hiranyagarbha's utpatti kaala, I was manifested by 'Maya'as the 'Sarva Samhaarakaari Kaala Devata'. Lokanatha Brahma has asked me to convey to you that you Soumya! you had made the pratigina of 'dharma raksha and loka raksha' and that had pratigina had since been fulfilled. Kindly recall that in your purva kaala, you were resting on maha samudra and by the interaction of Maha Maya you had initiated 'Loka shrishti'.bhogavantam tato nāgam anantam udake śayam, māyayā janayitvā tvam dvau ca sattvau mahābalau/ madhum ca kaiṭabham caiva yayor asthicayair vṛtā, iyam parvatasambādhā medinī cābhavan mahī/ padme divyārkasamkāśe nābhyām utpādya mām api, prājāpatyam tvayā karma sarvam mayi nivesitam/ Then as you were relaxing on the bed of 'Ananta Sangina Maha Naaga' and Maha Maya, two Maha Balis named Madhu Kaitabhas were created as the asthi samuhas and you entrusted me the task of giving life to them and this 'srishti rachana maha bhaara' too thereafter! As you being reptued as Pamma naabha there emerged a Suryasamaana divya kamala on which I as Brahma was seated entrusted with the maha karya of Srishti Rachana. so 'ham samnyastabhāro hi tvām upāse jagatpatim, rakṣām vidhatsva bhūtesu mama tejah karo bhavān/ tatas tvam api durdharsas tasmād bhāvāt sanātanāt,

raksārtham sarvabhūtānām visnutvam upajagmivān/ adityām vīryavān putro bhrātīnām harsavardhanah, samutpannesu krtyesu lokasāhyāya kalpase/ sa tvam vitrāsyamānāsu prajāsu jagatām vara, rāvanasya vadhākānkṣī mānuṣeṣu mano 'dadhāh/As this responsibility was entrusted to me, I begged of you to manifest in me the inherent 'Jnaana Shakti and Kriya Shakti'. Then having acceeded to my requsest, you became evident as 'Aparimeya Sanatan Purusha Swarupa Jagat paalaka Vishun Rupa.' Then from Aditi Garbha was born Parakrami Vaanara Avataara and there since you had enhanced the Indraadi Deva Shakti for Loka Raksha and Dharma paripaalana. daśavarṣasahasrāṇi daśavarṣaśatāni ca, kṛtvā vāsasya niyatim svayam evātmanah purā/ sa tvam manomayah putrah pūrnāvur mānusesv iha, kālo naravaraśrestha samīpam upavartitum/ yadi bhūyo mahārāja prajā icchasy upāsitum, vasa vā vīra bhadram te evam āha pitāmahaḥ/ atha vā vijigīṣā te suralokāya rāghava, sanāthā viṣṇunā devā bhavantu vigatajvarāh/Further there had been arranged an eleven thousand years of longevity as was accorded for you in the martya loka. Nara shrehtha! You had by now reached that limit. As per your own sankalpa as Maha Vishnu that life limit had been reached and it would be the tome for yiu to join us. In case you you so decide or desire, then that might be on you own volition, but the time limit prescribed would be over. In case you feel like reaching Vishnu loka back again, you may attain the 'paramdhaama'. That indeed was the message of Brahma Deva, which as a truthful meessenger am prrovding to you Shri Rama!' That was how Kaala Devata concluded.' Then Shri Rama had heard the Kaala Devata's adbhuta Brahma vachana. He replied that his incarnation was for loka kalyana, and as that objective having been accomplished in the martya loka I am indeed ready to get back to my Vishnu Loka. Sarva samhari Kaala Devata! As Brahma Deva suggested I am ready to oblige right away!'

Sarga Hundred and Five

Even as Kaala Maharshi arrived for Shri Rama for a secret meet but simultanously Durvasa too arrived and embarassed Lakshmana had to hear possible evil forebodings, but Rama just reached Durvasa.

Tathā tayoḥ kathayator durvāsā bhagavān ṛṣiḥ, rāmasya darśanākānkṣī rājadvāram upāgamat/ so 'bhigamya ca saumitrim uvāca ṛṣiṣattamaḥ, rāmam darṣ́aya me ṣ́īghram purā me 'rtho 'tivartate/ munes tu bhāsitam śrutvā laksmanah paravīrahā, abhivādva mahātmānam vākvam etad uvāca ha/kim kārvam brūhi bhagavan ko vārthaḥ kim karomy aham, vyagro hi rāghavo brahman muhūrtam vā pratīkṣatām/ tac chrutvā rsiśārdūlah krodhena kalusīkrtah, uvāca laksmanam vākyam nirdahann iva caksusā/ asmin ksane mām saumitre rāmāya prativedaya, visayam tvām puram caiva sapisye rāghavam tathā/bharatam caiva saumitre yusmākam yā ca samtatih, na hi śaksyāmy aham bhūyo manyum dhārayitum hrdi/ tac chrutvā ghorasamkāśam vākyam tasya mahātmanah, cintayām āsa manasā tasya vākyasya niścayam/ ekasya maranam me 'stu mā bhūt sarvavināśanam, iti buddhyā viniścitya rāghavāya nyavedayat/ lakṣmaṇasya vacaḥ śrutvā rāmaḥ kālam visrjya ca, nispatya tvaritam rājā atreḥ putram dadarśa ha/ so 'bhivādya mahātmānam įvalantam iva tejasā, kim kāryam iti kākutsthah kṛtāñjalir abhāṣata/ tad vākyam rāghavennoktam śrutvā munivarah prabhuh, pratyāha rāmam durvāsāh śrūvatām dharmavatsala/ adva varşasahasrasya samāptir mama rāghava, so 'ham bhojanam icchāmi yathāsiddham tavānagha/ tac chrutvā vacanam rāmo harṣeṇa mahatānvitaḥ, bhojanam munimukhyāya yathāsiddham upāharat/ sa tu bhuktvā muniśresthas tad annam amrtopamam, sādhu rāmeti sambhāsya svam āśramam upāgamat/ tasmin gate mahātejā rāghavah prītamānasah, samsmṛtya kālavākyāni tato duhkham upeyivān/ duhkhena ca susamtaptah smrtvā tad ghoradarśanam, avānmukho dīnamanā vyāhartum na śaśāka ha/ tato buddhyā viniścitya kālavākyāni rāghavaḥ, naitad astīti coktvā sa tūṣṇīm āsīn mahāyaśāḥ/

As Kaala Devata in the form of a Tapasvi was ushered in by Lakshmana to have a one-to-one conversation as conveyed by Brahma to Shri Rama the avatara of Maha Vishnu, Maharshi Durvasa too arrived and asked Lakshmana for admission for meeting Shri Rama on an urgent issue. Lakshmana having greeted the Maharshi requested the latter to wait just for a while as Shri Rama was already engaged with a secret one- to-one another urgent conversation with Kaala Tapasvi. Then Maharshi Durvasa got infuriated and screamed at Lakshmana as follows: *asmin kṣaṇe mām saumitre rāmāya*

prativedaya, visayam tvām puram caiva śapisye rāghavam tathā/ bharatam caiva saumitre yusmākam vā ca samtatih, na hi śaksyāmy aham bhūyo manyum dhārayitum hrdi/Sumitra Kumara! You must convey that I am waiting here and have arrived here. Otherwise this Kingdom, this Ayodhya, yourself, Shri Rama this Bharata Desha and all your families would be destroyed in case of my 'shaapa' or the irreversible curse. tac chrutvā ghorasamkāśam vākvam tasva mahātmanah, cintavām āsa manasā tasva vākyasya niścayam/ ekasya maraṇam me 'stu mā bhūt sarvavināśanam, iti buddhyā viniścitya rāghavāya nyavedayat/ lakṣmaṇasya vacaḥ śrutvā rāmaḥ kālam visrjya ca, niṣpatya tvaritam rājā atreḥ putram dadarśa ha/ Lakshmana was rattled up by Duryasa yachanaas and as the Kaala Maharshi's conversation with Shri Rama was almost concluded, ran to Rama and conveyed about the goings on thereoutside. Then Rama having concluded the meeting of Kaala Maharshi hurried up toward Durvasa Maharshi. By that time, Durvasa Maharshi got somewhat cooled down and addressed Shri Rama:adya varşasahasrasya samāptir mama rāghava, so 'ham bhojanam icchāmi yathāsiddham tavānagha/' Raghunandana! I had kept 'upavaasa' for a thousand year long duration and have brought the bhojana here for sharing it with you.' Shri Rama was too pleased to share the same along with the Maharshi. Thereafter, Shri Rama recalled the details of what all the Kaala Devata conveyed were perplexing and ruminated long time introspectively.

Sargas Hundred Six and Seven

Being aware of Rama's decision to die, Lakshmana begged Rama to kill him but Rama disowned as that was like killing- Lakshmana stopped his breathing- Rama made Kusha Lavas as independent kings.

Avānmukham atho dīnam dṛṣṭvā somam ivāplutam, rāghavam lakṣmaṇo vākyam hṛṣṭo madhuram abravīt/ na samtāpam mahābāho madartham kartum arhasi, pūrvanirmānabaddhā hi kālasya gatir īdṛśī/ jahi mām saumya visrabdah pratijñām paripālaya, hīnapratijñāh kākutstha prayānti narakam narāh/ yadi prītir mahārāja yady anugrāhyatā mayi, jahi mām nirviśankas tyam dharmam yardhaya rāghaya/ laksmanena tathoktas tu rāmah pracalitendriyah, mantriņah samupānīya tathaiva ca purodhasam/ abravīc ca vathāvrttam tesām madhve narādhipah, durvāso'bhigamam caiva pratijñām tāpasasva ca/ tac chrutyā mantrinah sarve sopādhyāyāh samāsata, vasisthas tu mahātejā vākyam etad uvāca ha/drstam etan mahābāho kṣayam te lomaharṣaṇam, lakṣmaṇena viyogaś ca tava rāma mahāyaśaḥ/ tyajainam balavān kālo mā pratijñām vrthā krthāh, vinastāyām pratijñāyām dharmo hi vilayam vrajet/ tato dharme vinaste tu trailokye sacarācaram, sadevarsiganam sarvam vinasyeta na samsayah/ sa tvam purusaśārdūla trailokyasyābhipālanam, laksmanasya vadhenādya jagat svastham kurusva ha/ tesām tat samavetānām vākyam dharmārthasamhitam, śrutvā parisado madhye rāmo laksmanam abravīt/ visarjaye tvām saumitre mā bhūd dharmaviparyayah tyāgo vadho vā vihitah sādhūnām ubhayam samam/rāmeṇa bhāsite vākye bāspavyākuliteksanah, laksmanas tvaritah prāyāt svagrham na viveśa ha/ sa gatvā sarayūtīram upaspṛśya kṛtāñjaliḥ, nigṛhya sarvasrotāmsi niḥśvāsam na mumoca ha/ anucchvasantam vuktam tam saśakrāh sāpsaroganāh, devāh sarsiganāh sarve puspair avakirams tadā/ adrśvam sarvam anujaih saśarīram mahābalam, pragrhya laksmaṇam śakro divam sampraviveśa ha/ tato viṣṇoś caturbhāgam āgatam surasattamāḥ, hṛṣṭāḥ pramuditāḥ sarve 'pūjayan ṛṣibhiḥ saha'

Visrjya lakṣmaṇam rāmo duḥkhaśokasamanvitaḥ, purodhasam mantriṇaś ca naigamāmś cedam abravīt/ adya rājye 'bhiṣekṣyāmi bharatam dharmavatsalam, ayodhyāyām patim vīram tato yāsyāmy aham vanam/ praveśayata sambhārān mā bhūt kālātyayo yathā, adyaivāham gamiṣyāmi lakṣmaṇena gatām gatim/ tac chrutvā rāghaveṇoktam sarvāḥ prakṛtayo bhṛśam, mūrdhabhiḥ praṇatā bhūmau gatasattvā ivābhavan/ bharataś ca visamjño 'bhūc chrutvā rāmasya bhāṣitam, rājyam vigarhayām āsa rāghavam cedam abravīt/ satyena hi śape rājan svargaloke na caiva hi, na kāmaye yathā rājyam tvām vinā raghunandana/ imau kuśīlavau rājann abhiṣiñca narādhipa, kosaleṣu kuśam vīram uttareṣu tathā lavam/ śatrughnasya tu gacchantu dūtās tvaritavikramāḥ, idam gamanam asmākam svargāyākhyāntu māciram/ tac chrutvā bharatenoktam dṛṣṭvā cāpi hy adho mukhān, paurān duḥkhena samtaptān vasiṣṭho vākyam abravīt/ vatsa rāma imāḥ paśya dharaṇīm prakṛtīr gatāḥ, jñātvaiṣām īpsitam kāryam mā caiṣām vipriyam

kṛthāḥ/ vasiṣṭhasya tu vākyena utthāpya prakṛtījanam, kim karomīti kākutsthaḥ sarvān vacanam abravīt/tataḥ sarvāḥ prakṛtayo rāmam vacanam abruvan, gacchantam anugacchāmo yato rāma gamiṣyasi/ eṣā naḥ paramā prītir eṣa dharmaḥ paro mataḥ, hṛdgatā naḥ sadā tuṣṭis tavānugamane dṛḍhā/ paureṣu yadi te prītir yadi sneho hy anuttamaḥ, saputradārāḥ kākutstha samam gacchāma satpatham/ tapovanam vā durgam vā nadīm ambhonidhim tathā, vayam te yadi na tyājyāḥ sarvān no naya īśvara/ sa teṣām niścayam jñātvā kṛtāntam ca nirīkṣyaca, paurāṇām dṛḍhabhaktim ca bāḍham ity eva so 'bravīt/ evam viniścayam kṛtvā tasminn ahani rāghavaḥ, kosaleṣu kuśam vīram uttareṣu tathā lavam/ abhiṣiñcan mahātmānāv ubhāv eva kuśīlavau, rathānām tu sahasrāṇi trīṇi nāgāyutāni ca/ daśa cāśvasahasrāṇi ekaikasya dhanam dadau, bahuratnau bahudhanau hṛṣṭapuṣṭajanāvṛtau/ abhiṣicya tu tau vīrau prasthāpya svapure tathā, dūtān sampreṣayām āsa śatrughnāya mahātmane/

As Ramachandra was almost closing his life like Rahugrasta Purnachandra, he was feeling about Lakshmana touching his head and body, then Lakshmana soothened his feelings saying: 'Maha baaho! Kindly do not worry for me as I am too is destined as per 'kaala gati' tied up with one's own erstwhile 'karma phala'. Soumva Rama! I humbly bend my feet to very kindly kill me without least hesitation for which I would make a pratigiana that you would never get naraka prapri. If you truthfully possess heartfelt love and attachment for me, may your 'dharma vriddhi' be ever assured by doing so. As the entire mantri-brahmana- maharshi-praja mandali was shaken up with this never expectable nor imaginable request by Lakshmana to Shri Rama as the never ever inseparable brothers, Maha tejasvi Vasishtha Maharshi asserted: dṛṣṭam etan mahābāho kṣayam te lomaharṣaṇam, lakṣmaṇena viyogaś ca tava rāma mahāyaśaḥ/ tyajainam balavān kālo mā pratijñām vṛthā kṛthāḥ, vinaṣṭāyām pratijñāyām dharmo hi vilayam vrajet/tato dharme vinaste tu trailokye sacarācaram, sadevarsiganam sarvam vinasveta na samśayah/ sa tvam purusaśārdūla trailokyasyābhipālanam, laksmanasya vadhenādya jagat svastham kurusva ha/ Maha Yashasvi Shri Rama! At this very time of epic like 'climatic catastrophe', right along with you a countless 'praja samuha' are in any way facing a crisis of Rama Lakshmana maha viyoga as I have already felt by my futuristic vision. Kaala Devata is invincible and those desicions are insurmountabe. I should therefore in all earnestness appeal to you to end up Lakshmana. His pratigina should not be unfructified and untruthful. Certainly, 'dharma lopatva' or any shortcomings and defiance of virtue could devastate trilokas inclusive of Rishi Maharshis too. Purusha Simha! Keeping in view of tribhuvana raksha, do please sacrifice Lakshmana. This bold act of sacrifice could only keep the balance of sampurna jagat and its sustenaance!!' As Vasishtha Maharshi addressed Shri Rama, the latter told Lakshmana: 'Sumitra nandana! I am performing your 'parityaaga' or totally abandoning you; it is stated universally that when 'saadhu purushas' discard a person that that would be as bad as killing them away!' As Lakshmana was told so, Lakshnana had burst out crying away, left for the River Sarayu, having performed 'aachamana' of the punya nadi and having performed complete 'indriya nigraha' stopped the intake of praana vaayu, even as Indriyaadi Devaas, Rishi ganas and all the celestial beings performed pushpa varshaas. Thus the 'chaturdha amsha' or the one fourth of Shri Rama got obliterated for ever.

As Shri Rama was disillusioned with Lakshmana parityaga too, close on the heels of Devi Sita parityaagaa too, then purohita-mantri-majaa janaas of the Kingdom appealed to Shri Rama to duly perform Bharata pattaabhisheka soon. Then Rama desired that the rajyabhisheka saamagri be feched too soon to let him also be free for ever. But Bhrarata reacted too sharply to assert as follows: 'Maha Raja! may I swear by my honour and truthfulness that neither the kingship or 'swarga maha bhogaas' are desirable for me'. Then he continued suggesting: imau kuśīlavau rājann abhiṣiñca narādhipa, kosaleṣu kuśaṁ vīram uttareṣu tathā lavam/śatrughnasya tu gacchantu dūtās tvaritavikramāḥ, idaṁ gamanam asmākaṁ svargāyākhyāntu māciram/Raghu nandana! I request you to soon perform the 'Rajyaabhi sheka' to Kumaaraas Kusha and Lava; the dakshina Koshala to Kusha and the northern to Lava. Let a messenger be sent at once to Shatrughna and be advised of all these developments . tac chrutvā bharatenoktaṁ dṛṣṭvā cāpi hy adho mukhān, paurān duḥkhena saṁtaptān vasiṣṭho vākyam abravīt/ vatsa rāma imāḥ paśya dharaṇīṁ prakṛtīr gatāḥ, jñātvaiṣām īpsitaṁ kāryaṁ mā caiṣāṁ vipriyaṁ kṛthāḥ/ vasiṣṭhasya tu vākyena utthāpya prakṛtījanam, kiṁ karomīti kākutsthah sarvān vacanam abravīt/ tatah

sarvāḥ prakṛtayo rāmam vacanam abruvan, gacchantam anugacchāmo yato rāma gamiṣyasi/ Then Vasishtha having been astonished all these developments addressed Shri Rama: 'Look at the fate of all these praja of yours; do consider the opinions of them too. Then there was ready response from them: 'Raghunandana! Where ever you intend do or go to, we are all ready to follow behind. We all the stree purushaas follow your 'sanmarga' or the supreme path of righteousness and virtue. tapovanam vā durgam vā nadīm ambhonidhim tathā, vayam te yadi na tyājyāḥ sarvān no naya īśvara/ sa teṣām niścayam jñātvā kṛtāntam ca nirīkṣyaca, paurāṇām dṛḍhabhaktim ca bāḍham ity eva so 'bravīt/ Swami Shri Rama! Be it to a tapovana, or maharanyas, or maha nadis or saagaraas; we all beseech you to let us blindly yet faithfully follow you; if you decide to leave us you ought to allow us to follow you to paralokaas even. Then Rama having so agreed, fulfilled his last kartavya of Kusha Kumara having made the rajyabhisheka of dakshina koshala desa and of Lava Kumara of the uttara koshala desha hand despathched them to their respective kingdoms. Later on he sent a messenger to Shatrughna.

Sarga Hundred Eight

As per 'Ramaagjna' Shatrughna too reported to follow Rama- Sugriva Vibhishanas too arrived to follow Rama yet insrtucted that Hanuman- Jambavan- Mainda Dwividas-Vibhishana to remain till Pralaya kaala.

Te dūtā rāmavākyena coditā laghuvikramāh, prajagmur madhurām sīghram cakrur vāsam na cādhvani/ tatas tribhir aho rātraih samprāpya madhurām atha, śatrughnāya yathāvṛttam ācakhyuḥ sarvam eva tat/ lakşmanasya parityāgam pratijñām rāghavasya ca, putrayor abhişekam ca paurānugamanam tathā/ kuśasya nagarī ramyā vindhyaparvatarodhasi, kuśāvatīti nāmnā sā kṛtā rāmeṇa dhīmatā/ śrāvitā ca purī ramyā śrāvatīti lavasya ca, ayodhyām vijanām caiva bharatam rāghavānugam/ evam sarvam nivedyāśu śatrughnāya mahātmane, viremus te tato dūtās tvara rājann iti bruvan/śrutvā tam ghorasamkāśam laksayam upasthitam, prakṛtīs tu samānīya kāñcanam ca purohitam/ tesām sarvam yathāvṛttam ākhyāya raghunandanah, ātmanaś ca viparyāsam bhavisyam bhrātrbhih saha/ tatah putradvayam vīrah so 'bhyaşiñcan narādhipaḥ, subāhur madhurām lebhe śatrughātī ca vaidiśam/ dvidhākṛtvā tu tām senām mādhurīm putrayor dyayoh, dhanadhānyasamāyuktau sthāpayām āsa pārthiyau/ tato visrjya rājānam vaidiśe śatrughātinam, jagāma tyarito 'vodhyām rathenaikena rāghavah/ sa dadarśa mahātmānam jvalantam iva pāvakam, kṣaumasūkṣmāmbaradharam munibhiḥ sārdham akṣayaiḥ/ so 'bhivādya tato rāmam prāñjalih prayatendriyah, uvāca vākyam dharmajño dharmam evānucintayan/krtvābhisekam sutayor yuktam rāghavayor dhanaih, tavānugamane rājan viddhi mām krtaniścayam/ na cānyad atra vaktavyam dustaram tava śāsanam, tyaktum nārhasi mām vīra bhaktimantam viśesatah/ tasya tām buddhim aklībām vijñāya raghunandanah, bādham ity eva śatrughnam rāmo vacanam abravīt/ tasya vākyasya vākyānte vānarāh kāmarūpinah, rkṣarākṣasasamghāś ca samāpetur anekaśah/ devaputrā rşisutā gandharvāṇām sutās tathā, rāma kṣayam viditvā te sarva eva samāgatāḥ/ te rāmam abhivādyāhuh sarva eva samāgatāḥ, tavānugamane rājan samprāptāḥ sma mahāyaśaḥ/ yadi rāma vināsmābhir gacches tvam purusarsabha, vamadandam ivodvamva tvavā sma vinipātitāh/ evam tesām vacah śrutvā rskavānararaksasām, vibhīsanam athovāca madhuram ślaksnavā girā/ vāvat prajā dharisvanti tāvat tvam vai vibhīşaṇa, rākṣasendra mahāvīrya laṅkāsthaḥ svam dhariṣyasi/ prajāḥ samrakṣa dharmeṇa nottaram vaktum arhasi/ tam evam uktvā kākutstho hanūmantam athābravīt, jīvite kṛtabuddhis tvam mā pratijñām vilopaya/ matkathāh pracarisyanti yāval loke harīśvara/ tāvat tvam dhārayan prānān pratijñām anupālaya/ tathaivam uktvā kākutsthah sarvāms tān ṛksavānarān, mayā sārdham prayāteti tadā tān rāghavo 'bravīt/

As per Rama's directive, a messenger was despatched to King Shatrughna to reach Ayodhyaa at once and afrer the messenger reached Shatrughna came to know of all the goings-on there as of Shri Rama pratigjna, Lakshmana deha parityaga, Kusha Lava's rajyabhisheka and Ayodhya puravaasis decision to follow Rama pursuant his final departure. Meanwhile, Rama arranged Kushavati Nagara nirmana near the border of Vindhya parvata as well as Shravasti naama Rajya for Lava Kumara. Then as Ayodhyapuri having been emptied both Rama and Bharata proceeded to Saaketa Puri. Then afer performing the

rajyabhisheka of his sons too Shatrughna reached Rama after a three day travel and touched Rama 'padaabhiyandanana'. Meanwhile having known of the swift and tragic developments at Shri Rama's end, Sugriva, Vaanara-Bhalluka, Vibhishana Rakshasaas too arrived. yadi rāma vināsmābhir gacches tvam puruṣarṣabha, yamadandam ivodyamya tvayā sma vinipātitāh/ Rama! We have all resolved to follow you and in case you refuse to do so, may this be realised that we fall down ourselves with yama dandaas. Sugriva further said that he had already performed Amgada rajyabhisheka and had decided to follow to Rama. Then Rama having smiled at Sugriva and said: Sakha Sugriva! Do listen to me please! I would not be able to leave you to devaloka anyway for my further parandhama.' He looked at Vibhishana then and said: 'Vibhishana, as long as your praja were all arrive, till then you should be the king ever performing nitya pujaas to Ikshvaku kula devata Shri Sheshashaayi Bhagavan Vishnu. tam evam uktvā kākutstho hanūmantam athābravīt, jīvite kṛtabuddhis tvam mā pratijñām vilopaya/ matkathāh pracarisyanti yāval loke harīśvara/ tāvat tvam dhārayan prānān pratijñām anupālaya/ tathaivam uktvā kākutsthah sarvāms tān rkṣavānarān, mayā sārdham prayāteti tadā tān rāghavo 'bravīt/ Having advised Vibhishana like wise, Shri Rama looked on Veeraanjanaya and said that he must be alive and ever active. He further stated: 'Harishvara! As long as Ramaayana prachaara were to last till that time he be ever active. Then Hanuman prostrated at Rama's feet and asserted: 'Bhagavan! As long as I were to be alive, till then Ramayana Mahima would be lasting too.' Subsequently Bhagavan Shri Rama addressed as follows: 'Brahma putra Jambavan, Vibhishana, Hanuman, Mainda and Dwivida as also Vaanara Veeras Mainda and Dvivida would be alive till maha pralaya kaala.'

Sargas Nine and Ten Hundred

As 'Ayodhya Purajana' and others desirous of 'Rama Parandhaama Yatra' to River Sarayu, Brahma welcomed Rama as Maha Vishnu while his countless followers were blessed with Sanaatana Loka Prapti.

Prabhātāyām tu śarvaryām pṛthuvakṣā mahāyaśāḥ, rāmaḥ kamalapatrākṣaḥ purodhasam athābravīt/ agnihotram vrajatv agre sarpir jvalitapāvakam, vājapeyātapatram ca śobhayānam mahāpatham/tato vasisthas tejasvī sarvam niravasesatah, cakāra vidhivad dharmvam mahāprāsthānikam vidhim/ tatah ksaumāmbaradharo brahma cāvartavan param, kuśān grhītvā pānibhvām prasajya pravayāv atha/ avyāharan kva cit kim cin niścesto niḥsukhaḥ pathi, nirjagāma grhāt tasmād dīpyamāno yathāmśumān/ rāmasya pārśve savye tu padmā śrīh susamāhitā, daksine hrīr viśālāksī vyavasāyas tathāgratah/ śarā nānāvidhāś cāpi dhanur āyatavigraham, anuvrajanti kākutstham sarve purusavigrahāh/ vedā brāhmanarūpena sāvitrī sarvaraksinī, omkāro 'tha vasatkārah sarve rāmam anuvratāh/ rsayaś ca mahātmānah sarva eva mahīsurāh, anvagacchanta kākutstham svargadvāram upāgatam/ tam yāntam anuyānti sma antaḥpuracarāḥ striyaḥ, savṛddhabāladāsīkāḥ savarṣavarakimkarāḥ/ sāntaḥpuraś ca bharataḥ śatrughnasahito yayau, rāmavratam upāgamya rāghavam samanuvratāḥ/ tato viprā mahātmānaḥ sāgnihotrāḥ samāhitāḥ, saputradārāḥ kākutstham anvagacchan mahāmatim/ mantriņo bhrtyavargāś ca saputrāh sahabāndhavāh, sānugā rāghavam sarve anvagacchan prahrstavat/ tatah sarvāh prakrtavo hrstapustajanāvrtāh, anujagmuh pragacchantam rāghavam gunarañjitāh/ snātam pramuditam sarvam hṛṣṭapuṣpam anuttamam, dṛptam kilikilāśabdaiḥ sarvam rāmam anuvratam/ na tatra kaś cid dīno 'bhūd vrīdito vāpi duhkhitah, hrstam pramuditam sarvam babhūva paramādbhutam/ drastukāmo 'tha niryāṇam rājño jānapado janaḥ, samprāptaḥ so 'pi dṛṣṭvaiva saha sarvair anuvrataḥ/ rksavānararaksāmsi janāś ca puravāsinah, agachan paravā bhaktyā pṛsthatah susamāhitāh/

Adhyardhayojanam gatvā nadīm paścān mukhāśritām, sarayūm puṇyasalilām dadarśa raghunandanaḥ/atha tasmin muhūrte tu brahmā lokapitāmahaḥ, sarvaiḥ parivṛto devair ṛṣibhiś ca mahātma bhiḥ/āyayau yatra kākutsthaḥ svargāya samupasthitaḥ, vimānaśatakoṭībhir divyābhir abhisamvṛtaḥ/papāta puṣpavṛṣṭiś ca vāyumuktā mahaughavat, tasmims tūryaśatākīrṇe gandharvāpsarasamkule, sarayūsalilam rāmaḥ padbhyām samupacakrame/ tataḥ pitāmaho vāṇīm antarikṣād abhāṣata, āgaccha viṣṇo bhadram te diṣṭyā prāpto 'si rāghava/ bhrātṛbhiḥ saha devābhaiḥ praviśasva svakām tanum, vaiṣṇavīm tām mahātejas tad ākāśam sanātanam/ tvam hi lokagatir deva na tvām ke cit prajānate, ṛte

māyām viśālāksa tava pūrvaparigrahām/ tvam acintyam mahad bhūtam aksayam sarvasamgraham, yām icchasi mahātejas tām tanum praviśa svayam/ pitāmahavacah śrutvā viniścitya mahāmatih, viveśa vaiṣṇavam tejaḥ saśarīrah sahānujaḥ/ tato viṣṇugatam devam pūjayanti sma devatāḥ, sādhyā marudgaṇāś caiva sendrāḥ sāgnipurogamāḥ/ ye ca divyā rṣigaṇā gandharvāpsarasaś ca yāḥ, suparnanāgavaksās ca daitvadānavarāksasāh/sarvam hrstam pramuditam sarvam pūrnamanoratham, sādhu sādhv iti tat sarvam tridivam gatakalmaşam/ atha viṣṇur mahātejāḥ pitāmaham uvāca ha, eṣām lokāñ janaughānām dātum arhasi suvrata/ ime hi sarve snehān mām anuyātā manasvinaḥ, bhaktā bhājavitavvāś ca tvaktātmānaś ca matkrte/ tac chrutvā visnuvacanam brahmā lokaguruh prabhuh, lokān sāntānikān nāma yāsyantīme samāgatāh/ yac ca tiryaggatam kim cid rāmam evānucintayat, prānāms tyaksyati bhaktyā vai samtāne tu nivatsyati, sarvair eva gunair yukte brahmalokād anantare/ vānarāś ca svakām yonim rksāś caiva tathā yayuh, yebhyo vinihsrtā ye ve surādibhyah susambhavāh/rsibhyo nāgayaksebhyas tāms tān eva prapedire, tathoktavati deveśe gopratāram upāgatāh/ bhejire sarayūm sarve harşapūrņāśruviklavāḥ, avagāhya jalam yo yaḥ prānī hy āsīt prahṛṣṭavat/ mānuṣam deham utsṛjya vimānam so 'dhyarohata, tiryagyonigatās' cāpi samprāptāh sarayūjalam/ divyā divyena vapuṣā devā dīptā ivābhavan, gatvā tu saravūtovam sthāvarāni carāni ca, prāpva tat tovavikledam devalokam upāgaman, devānām yasya yā yonir vānarā rṣka rākṣasāḥ/ tām eva viviśuḥ sarve devān nikṣipya cāmbhasi, tathā svargagatam sarvam krtvā lokagurur divam, jagāma tridaśaih sārdham hṛṣṭair hṛṣṭo mahāmati/

On that fateful yet eventful day, Kamalanayana Shri Rama requested the Rajya Purohita requested him to prepare for the 'Maha Prasthana Yatra with the 'Vidhipurvaka Vaajapeya Yagjna Chatraadi Karyakrama'. To Shri Rama's right side was Shri Devi and on his left side Bhu Devi; Shri Devi was holding a Kamal Pushpa and Bhu Devi the Vyaavasaayaka (Samhaara) Shakti. Then Shri Rama was holdinbg his vishala dhanush and on the other side the astra-shastras. Amid the Veda paatha parayana four maha Veda Brahmana Panditas were reciting aloud ahead of Shri Rama and the brothers and the 'prabhrutas' for the maha prasthaana. Besides the Chatur Veda pathana the following vipra panditas was reciting Devi Gayatri-OM kaara-Vashatkaaras with utmost bhakti baava. Those Rishi-Brahmanas too were seeking to reach the Brahma Dwaara ahead. Antahpura strees, baala- vriddhaasi- daaseejana- sevakaas too following towards the Pavitra Sarayu there behind the procession. Bharata Shatrughna and their respetive strees too were carrying their agnihotras from various lanes and bly lanes. Samasta Mantri-Bhrityavarga'a along wih strees-putras-pashus-bandhavaas were following Shri Rama with vijayotsava harsha dhwaanaas. They were all high spirited with cheerful feelings with harsha naadaas. tatah sarvāh prakrtayo hrstapusta -janāvrtāh, anujagmuh pragacchantam rāghavam gunarañjitāh/ snātam pramuditam sarvam hṛṣṭapuṣpam anuttamam, dṛptam kilikilāśabdaih sarvam rāmam anuvratam/ Hrishtha pushtha Manushuyas and samasta prajaa janas were recalling the sweet memories of Rama Rajya mahakaalas; thus proceeded the 'maha jana sammuhaas of stree-purusha-pashu pakshi, bandhu bandhavas; in the Maha Yatra what with fearlessness and more so of 'hridaya prasannata' and above all of a great relief of self assurance of 'sarva paapa raahityata'. So were Vanara bhalluka ganaas after snaana niyamas joined the 'maha prasthaana'. na tatra kaś cid dīno 'bhūd vrīdito vāpi duhkhitah, hrstam pramuditam sarvam babhūva paramādbhutam/ drastukāmo 'tha niryāṇam rājño jānapado janah, samprāptah so 'pi dṛṣṭvaiva saha sarvair anuvratah/ rksavānararaksāmsi janāś ca puravāsinah, agachan parayā bhaktyā prsthatah susamāhitāh/ None and none at all among the prajaaneeka following Shri Rama was of deena-duhkha or lajjita or forlorn-sorrowful or ashamed of for the Rama's Antima Divya Yatra. Those groups of onlookers who were merely seeking to those in the procession were so inspired to enthusiastically jumped right in. Thus the Bhalluka-Vaanra- Rakshas-Puravaasis were thus dutifully and truly religiously with 'Bhakti Vishvaasaas' joined the 'Shri Rama Maha Prasthaana'.

Sarga Hundred and Ten follows: From some one and half yojana away Ayodhya, Raghukulanandana Shri Rama proceeded his 'maha prasthaana' towards the western side to reach the Sacred River Sarayu. Having arrived there, an ideal spot on the Sarayu banks was selected by Rishi Brahmanas. Just at that time, Loka Pitamaha Brahma accompanied by Deva samuhaas and RishiMunis too arrived at the

PARANTHAAMA with seven crores of Divya Vimanaas. The 'akaasha mandali' turned as 'jyotirmaya mandala' while down at the spot of praranthaama was replete with pavitra-sugandhita-sukha daayi vayu as if Deva Samuhas were mildly throwing 'divya pusha raashis' as 'manda varsha paramparaas'. Then Brahma Pitamha from up the skies addressed Shri Rama: bhrātrbhih saha devābhaih praviśasva svakām tanum, vaiṣṇavīm tām mahātejas tad ākāśam sanātanam/ tvam hi lokagatir deva na tvām ke cit prajānate, rte māyām viśālāksa tava pūrvaparigrahām/ tvam acintyam mahad bhūtam aksayam sarvasamgraham, yām icchasi mahātejas tām tanum praviśa svayam/'Maha Baho! May you now enter with your own chosen clelestial form along with your brothers Maha Tejasvi Parameshvara. You may perhaps like to Chaturbhuja Vishnu Rupa or like the 'Akaasha maya Sanatana Avyakta Para Brahma' being the Tri Lokamaya Nirlipta Form of the Ever Present-Ever Potent- Ever Unknown . Your puratana patni Yoga Maya- Hladini Shakti Swarupa being Devi Sita be too join you as the Maha Maya.' As Brahma stated with 'paravashatva' of endless bliss Shri Rama entered the Maha Vishnu Swarupa with his brothers with his four hands along with Bharata as Shankha, Shatrughna as Chakra, as also Gada with Shri Devi and Bhu Devi beside Him. Then Indra-Agni and all the other Devas, Saadhya-Marudganaas were absorbed in Shri Rama's Maha Vishnu Swarupa as Divya Rishi-Gandharva-Apsaraa-Garuda- Naaga-Yaksha-Daitya-Daanava- Rakshasaas extolled Bhagavan's 'guna gaana sammohitaas'. Then Brahma Deva made an announcement to Maha Vishnu: Bhagavan! All the dutiful followers of your form of Shri Rama would now enter the Santaanaka Loka as the Saaketa Dhaama's anga bhaaga! Then Vaanara-bhallukas returned to their respective devaamshaas. Similarly Pashu pakshis and Stthaavara jangama praanis which were absorbed on the Sarayu at that time too reached the Santaanaka Saaketa dhaama.

Sarga Hundred and Eleven

Sampurna Ramayana's Upasamhara and Mahatmya

Shri Rama-Devi Sita's 'Putra Dwaya' Kusha Lava Kumaras commended Maha Vishnu-Maha Prakriti's incarnations as hidden in the chataachara pranis as Avayktam- Shasvatam- Anantam-Ajam- Ayvyaam -<u>Vishnum.</u> Tatah pratishthito Vishnuh swarga loke yathaa puraa, yena vyaaptamidam sarvam trailokyam sacharaacharam/ Bhagavan Shri Rama had thus been reinstalled as being an incarnation of Maha Vishnu. That Shri Rama Paavana Charitra is being constantly commended by Deva-Gandharva- Siddha Maharshis as Ramayana Kaavya Shravana. Idamaakhyaanamaayushyam soubhaagyam paapanaashanam, Raamaayanam Vedasamam shraddheshu shraavayed buddhaah/ paapaanyapi cha yah kuryaadhanyahani maanavah, pathatyekamapi shlokam paapaat sa parimucyate/ This prabandha kaavya is a gateway to longevity and prosperity besides being sin destroyer Ravayana is as good as Vedaas as vidwan purushas need to read and hear about. Its pathana assures suputras for putra heenaas and soubhagya to 'dhana heenaas'. If just one shloka pathana a day or even one 'charana' even would ensure paapa naashana to that extent. Any person who recites for others would richly deserve of vastrago-suvarna daanaas as the suntustha vaachakaas are pleased with deva samuhas. Indeed this Ramayana Prabandha Kavya yields ayurvriddhi as 'prati dina pathana' bestows 'paraloka sanmaana'. He or she with seriousness and concentration could read either at 'praatahkala, or madhyaahna or sayam kaala' would remain ever contented. Ramayana is of Gayatri Swarupa. Yasitvadam Raghu naadhasya charitam sakalam pathet, sosukshaye Vishnu lokam gacchhatyeva na samshayah/ Chaturvargarpradam nityam charitam Raghavasyatu, tasmaad yatnavataa nityam shrotavyam paramam sdaa/ Shrunvan Ramayanam bhaktyaa yah paadam padameva vaa, sa yaati braahmanah sthaanam Brahmanaa pujyate sadaa/ 'Shri Raghu naadha charitra sampurma pathana-shrotra-niddhidhyaasana ought to bestow Vishnu dhaama Vaikuntha. Raghavendra Charitra is the easy passage for accomplishing 'chaturvidha dharmaartha kaamamokshas' in one's own iha janmaa too.

ANNEXTURE

VISHLESHANAS OF THE ESSENCE OF VALMIKI RAMAYANA

(Khandas of Baala-Ayodhya-Aranya-Kishkindha-Sundara-Yuddha-Uttara)

NOTE: PAGES 194 TO 203 DETAIL THE KHANDA CONTENTS AND SARGA DETAILS AND

FURTHER PAGES ACTUAL TEXTS OF VISHLESHANAS

ESSENCE OF BAALA RAMAYANA

Sarga one: Valmiki enquires of Brahmarshi Narada to identify the Purushottama of Tretayuga - Vishleshanas- Ikshvaaku Vamsha; Rules of 'Dharma Yuddha'; Chitrakuta mountain; Agastya; Shabari; Anjaneya: origin and illustrative stutis; Rama Rajya; Ideal kingship; Ashvamedha Yagyna Vishsleshana - Explanatory Note: Ikshvaaku Vamsha-

Sarga Five: From the ongoing Vaivaswa Manvantara till King Dasharatha to Shri Rama.

Vishleshanas on Sagara Chakravarti to Bhagiratha; Ayodhya; Kingship duties

Sarga Fourteen: Ashva medha yagjna performed gloriously

<u>Visleshanas on: Homa kunda- bhojanas of bhakshya-bhojya-lehya- choshya- paneeyaas; Ritviks of yagina;</u>

Sarga Fifteen : Putra Kaamekshi Yagjna- Celestials preparing for arrival of Maha Purusha Vishleshana: Putra Kamekshti from Dharma Sindhu.

Sarga Seventeen: As Rama-Lakshmana-Bharata-Shatrugnas were born thus, Indra and Devas manifested 'Vaanaraas' including Hanuman with Ashta Siddhis. <u>Visleshnana on Ashta siddhis</u>.

Sarga Eighteen: Dasharatha distributes 'payasa' to queens Koushalya-Sumitra- Kaikeyi

Samskararas to Ramaadi Kumaras; <u>Vishleshana on Star-wise birth results; Naama karana- Janmaadi Samskaras; Dolarohana - dugdha paana- jalapuja- Suryaavalokana- nishkramana- Anna Praashana - 'Dhanuryeda' (The Science of Archery and Weaponry) and Rules of Battle: Lakshmana the manifesta</u>

'Dhanurveda' (The Science of Archery and Weaponry) and Rules of Battle; Lakshmana the manifestation of Adi Shesha;

Sargas Nineteen-Twenty-Twenty One: Arrival of Brahmarshi Vishvamitra at Ayodhya to King Dasharatha. <u>Vishleshanas</u>: <u>Brahmarshi Vishvamitra</u>: 1. <u>Gayatri Mantra- Vishvamitra and Harischandra-Vishvamitra and Vasishtha as their rivalry leads to be birds-</u>

Sarga Twenty four: Sarayu-Ganga confluence at Malada- Kurusha Villages where Indra hid; the reason was that Indra killed brahmana Vritraasura. <u>Vishleshana: on Vritrasura and Indra's Brahma hatya dosha-</u> They enter 'Tataka Vana'

Sarga Twenty nine: Vishvamitra takes Rama brothers to the 'Vamana Ashrama'

Vishleshana on Bali Chakravarti and Vamana avatara

Sarga Thirty Five-Six-Seven: By boat from Shonabhadra to Ganges, Vishvamitra explains about flows of Ganges - birth of Skanda- <u>Vishleshana on Skanda Janma: Padma-Skanda-Matsya Puranas</u>

Sarga Thirty Eight/ Nine: King Sagara's tapasya for sons- queen Sumati begets

60,000 strong sons while Keshini just only Asamanjasa. Sagara planned Ashvamesha yagna, Indra stole the Sacrificial horse- Sumati's strong sons searched bhuloka-and patalas with pomp and noise-Kapila Muni curses the sons in patala to become stones-<u>Vishleshanas: Adho lokas- Kapila Maharshi</u>.

Sargas Forty to Forty Two: Asamanjasa goes in search and conveys the result to Sagara who dies-King Asamanjasa gaveup hopes and so does his son Amshuman and the latter's son Dilip. But Bhagiradha takes up the thread and prays to Ganga from skies at Gokarna Tirtha. <u>Vishleshanas on 1</u>) Gokarna Tirtha and 2) on Bhagiratha from Brahma Vaivarta and Maha Bhagavata Puranas. .

Sargas Forty Three and four: Bhagiratha standing by foot fingers, invoked Maha Deva Vishleshanas: on Gangotri and Haridwara; Devi Ganga: post Bhagiratha

Sarga Forty five: Crossing Ganga, Rama approaching Vaishali asked about Deva Danavas

Vishleshanason Kashyapa and Diti and Aditi; Masya Purana: on Kurmaavatara, 'Amrita Mathana',

Kaalakuta and Devi Mohini; Maha Bhagavatga Purana: Mammoth Churning of Ocean for 'Amrit')

Sarga Forty Six:Having failed to secure Amrit, Diti- daitya mother- seeks to destroy Indra

Vishleshanas: Brahmanda Purana": Diti revengeful of Indra and 'Pumsavana' Sacrifice; Maha Bhagavata

about Marud Ganas: As Diti fell asleep unconcsiously, Indra entered her Garbha with his 'Vajraayudha',
saw the fully grown up boy inside, cajoled him saying 'don't cry, don't cry' and sliced the child into
seven parts and further to forty nine sub-parts.

Sarga Forty Eight and Nine: Sumati showed the way to Gautama Ashram en route Mithila. <u>Vishleshana:Indra assuming Gautama's form takes Ahalya to bed, the latter's wife - a supreme</u> PativrataGanesha Purana.

Sarga Fifty Eight-Nine-Sixty: Trishanku desires to reach swarga being mortal and Vishvamitra creates a mid- sky swarga with his tapo bala; Vishleshana: Vishvamitra creates Trishanku swarga

Sargas Sixty One and two: Ambarisha performs Yagjna at Pushkara but as sacrifice animal was stolen, a 'nara pashu boy' was arranged - Vishvamitra took pity but to no avail; got entangled instead by co-Munis, Vishleshana on Pushkara Tirtha from Kurma- Padma Puranas and Maha Bharata.

Sarga Sixty six: Vishmamitra conveys Rama's desire to show Shiva Dhanush and Janaka gives the background of the Dhanush; King Nimi was gifted Shiva Dhanush at his son Devarata's wedding; <u>Vishleshana: Nimi and Daksha Yagnya.-</u> Devi Sita as 'Ayonija' as Janaka tills bhuyagjna.

Sarga Seventy: In an open Janaka Sabha, Vasishtha narrated the glory of Ikshvaku Vamsha: Brahma Deva the Swayambhu manifested Marichi, from the latter was born Kashyapa whose son was Vivisvaan as the latter gave birth to Vaivasvata Manu. Manu was the foremost Prajapati and from Manu was born Ikshvaku the first King of Ayodhya. Then were highlighted: Pruthu-Mandhata-Sagara- Bhagiratha-Ambareesha-Nahusha-Yayati-Naabhaga- Aja-and Dasharatha. Vishleshanas on: Pruthu-Yuvanashra-Mandhata-Purukusta-Muchukunda-Nahusha-and Yayati.

Sargas Seventy Four- Five-Six: After the festivities concluded, guests were shovered with precious gifts, the groom's party moved back on the return journey but a terrible sand storm was faced. Parashu Rama arrived shouting 'Rama Rama' with terrible anger as the Shiva Dhanush was broken. Dasharatha tried to pacify but with anger, handed over Vishnu Dhanush and challenging Rama to break it if at all possible. An angry Rama not only lifted the dhanush as though Vishnu did against Madhukaitabha daityas but stated that with that very dhanush he could as well demolish Parashu Rama too! An utterly humiliated Parashu Rama was then instructed to return to Mahendra Mountain for ever! Vishleshanas on Madhu Kaitabha daityas; Parashu Rama- Kartaveryarjuna from Ganesha-Brahmanda Puranas .

ESSENCE OF VALMIKI AYODHYA RAMAYANA

Sarga Twelve: Dasharatha's remorse at Kaikeyi's undue demands even having admitted the boons and pleads with Kaikeyi not to insist but in vain - [Vishleshanas about Kings Shiabya and Alarka] **Sarga Thirteen:** Dasharatha's intense cryings and persistent pleadings with Kaikeyi but she argued in the name of dharma citing the tradition of truthfulness of Ikshvaku ancestors-

[Vishlesana on Yayati]

Sarga Fourteen: Kaikeyi's stubbuornness to relent - Vashishta Maharshis intervetion fails and Charioteer Sumanra asked for Rama's arrival at the King's Palace [Vishleshana on Vamanavatara was detailed in Essence of Vaalmiki Bala Ramayana but some excerpts are given for ready reference]

Sarga Twenty One: Lakshmana gets agitated at the turn of the events and so did Kousalya

but Rama assuages their badly hurt psyche, but Rama explains that 'pitru vaakya paripaalana' ought to be his life's motto and dharma [Vishleshanas on 1. Bhagiratha and 2. Parashu Rama]

Sarga Twenty Five: With great difficulty, Rama finally convinces Kousalya to let him leave for 'vana vaasa'and she relented finally [Vishleshanas: Vritrasura- Dadhiti-Indra; Vinata - Garuda-Amrita.

Sarga Twenty Seven: Devi pleads her accompanying Rama for the forest life.

[Vishlesana of Ashta Siddhis]

Sarga Thirty: Devi Sita sobs heavily and Rama had to finally concede

[Vishleshana 1. on Devi Savitri- Satyavan- Yama Raja- and Satyavan's Lasting relief and

2. Surya Deva and Sanjana Devi]

Sarga Forty: Sita Rama Lakshmanas perform pradakshinas to Dasharatha

and the mothers, Sita Rama Lakshmanas alight the chariot and the crowds get terribly agitated; -

[Vishleshana on Meru Mountain and Surya Deva]

Sarga Fifty: Ramas arrive at Shringavera pura on the banks of Ganga- stay overnight- and Nishada Raja Guha welcomes them-[Vishleshana on Parama Shiva's 'Jataajuta' vide Sarga Forty Three of Valmiki Baala Ramayana is quoted]

Sarga Fifty Two: Guha navigates Sita Rama Lakshmanas across Ganga- Rama bids farewell to the reluctant Sumamtra- Sita's intense prayers to the Sacred Ganga- after crossing Ganga reach Vatsa desha for night halt- [Vishleshanas: 1) on Vaanaprastha Dharma as quoted brom Manu Smriti -2) on Prayaga

Sarga Fifty Four: Ramas reach Bharadvaaja ashram and the Maharshi advises them to settle at Chitrakoota mountain - Vishleshana on Chitrakoota

Sarga Fifty Six: Ramas reach Chitrakoota-Maharshi Valmiki at ashram- latter teaches Lakshnana to build 'Rama Kuteera'-Vishleshana on Vaastu Shastra: Matsya Purana

Sarga Sixty Four: Having revealed details of the Muni hatya, the helpless cryings of his

blind parents, Vriddha Muni's curse that Dasaradha would die in son's absence, Dasharatha collapsed to death! [Vishlesanas: i) on the process of death- ii) departed jeevatma-iii: Yama- iv: Mrityu Sukta

Sarga Sixty Seven: Maharshis assemble with Purohita Vasishtha to decide on the

successor King - [Vishleshana on an Ideal Kingship vide Manu Smriti-Achaara Khanda]

Sarga Seventy Six: Raja Dasharatha's 'antyeshthi' / 'dahana samskaara' [Vishleshanas fromTaittireeya Aranyaka: The departed 'jeevatma' discarding life behind is accompanied by Lord Yama- departed Soul-Pushan- Sayavari / cow- widow-and Agni]

Sarga One Hundred: Shri Rama having enquired Bharata's welfare gave elaborate

lessons of Kshatra Dharmas on his own- [Vishleshanas 1) on King's adminitrative skill 2)on Videsha Neeti as per Manu Smriti]

Sarga One Hundred and Three: Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas cry away at father's

death-offerings of tarpana and pinda daana -[Vishleshana on Tapana Vidhaana]

Sarga One Hundred and Seven: Shri Rama instructs Bharata to return to Ayodhya at once[Vishleshanas in reference to a) Gayaasura and b) Puta / Prithu Chakravarti]

Sarga One Hundred and Ten: Vasishtha traces the geneology of Ikshvaku-

Vamsha and asks to uphold its fame and assume Kinghip as the eldest son of Dasharatha [Vishleshana of Varaha:]

Sarga One hundred and Eighteen: Devis Anasuya and Sita exchange views-

Anasuya gives gifts to Sita- Sita describes her 'swayamvara'

[Vishleshana on Savitri and Rohini Devi Pativrataas: 1. Sati Savitri: (Refer Sarga Thirty above.)]

ESSENCE OF VALMIKI ARANYA RAMAYANA

Sarga One: Shri Rama - Devi Sita-Lakshmanas felicitated in 'Muni ashramas'

[Vishleshana on Bali Vaishva Deva from 'Dharma Sindhu']

Sarga Eleven: Rama Sita Lakshmanas visit Panchapsara Tirtha and Maandikarana ashrama and after visiting other Muni Ashramas too, visit the ashram of the brother of Agastya Maharshi who lauds the glory of Agastya

<u>Vishleshanas on a) Creation of Agasthya and Vasishtha as brothers by MitraVaruna from Urvashi and b)Agastya Muni dries up the Ocean and enables to destroy the demon Kalakeya- Matsya-Padma Puranas respectively</u>

Sarga Thirteen: Maharshi Agastya complements Devi Sita as a 'pativrata' and directs

Rama Lakshmanas to construct Panchavati Ashram

Vishleshana on Devi Arundhati

Sarga Fourteen: On the way to Panchavati, Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas meet the Great Grudhra

Raja Jatayu who vividly explains the family background of Jatayu

[Vishleshana on Daksha Prajapati and Kashyapa from Puranas

Sarga Fifteen: The compact and vastu based 'Panchavati Parnashaala' of Rama-Sita-

Lakshmanas reside comfortably

Vishleshana on Vaastu Shaanti

Sarga Sixteen: Happy living by Rama Sita Lakshmanas at Panchavati through Hemanta

Ritu and Godavari Snaanaas

[Vishleshana on a) Rithus / Seasons; abd b) on the Sacred River Godavari and the excellence of bathings in the River

Sarga Twenty three: Khara then noticed dusshakunas like donkey brayings and squeaks of vultures from the sky, but having ignored these, Khara reaches Shri Rama 'ashrama'

[Vishlashana on premonitions of death in general terms to humans sourced from Markandeya Purana]

Sarga Thirty Nine: Maarecha seeks to further convince Ravanaasura as Mareecha69

enterered having assumed the form of a Maya Harina or a feigned deer

[<u>Vishleshanaas as per Essence of Valmiki Bala Ramayana vide Sargas Twenty Nine and Seventy respectively on Bali Chakravarti and Nahusha respectively</u>

Sarga Forty Eighty: Ravanasura explains his own background and valor and Devi Sita ignores and discounts

[Vishleshana on Shachi Devi and Indra]

Sarga Sixty One: Shri Rama and Lakshmanas got intensely frustrated with their extensive search for Devi Sita

[Vishleshana on Vamana Deva and Bali Charavarti for ready reference vide Essence of Valmiki Baala Ramayan]

Sarga Sixty Two: Rama's anguish - his sustained efforts with Lakshmna- following

Maya Mriga's southern direction- recognising fallen Sitas's dried up flowers and ornamentsand signs of a recently fought battle!

Vishleshana on Tripuraasura Vijaya from i) Linga Purana-ii) Ganesha Purana

Sargas Sixty Three and Sixty Four: <u>Lakshmana seeks to cool down the unbelievable</u> rage and anger and recounts the fundamenatal features of self restraint while getting ready to display his outstanding bravery in human like and Gods like battle!

- 1.[Ref Essence of Valmiki Ayodhya Ramayana-Sarga Twelve on Yayati-Yadu-Puru]
- 2. Vishleshana vide Bhagavad Gita is quoted in this context

Sarga Sixty Six: Shri Rama performs the 'dahana samskaara' of Jatayu

[Vishleshana on Dahana samskara for human beings is explained vide Sarga 76 of Essence of Valmiki Ayodhya Ramayana.]

Sarga Seventy: As Kabandha Rakshas's mortal remains secured 'daah samskara' by

Rama Lakshmanas, his celestial form reveals details of Ravana vs Sita and advises Rama's friendship with the exiled Vaanara King Sugriva

[Vishleshana on Neeti Chandrika in Telugu language as transated into English as the Essence of Neeti

Chandrika vide the website of kamakoti.org . - [Brief Vishleshana of Vaali-Sugrivas

Sarga Seventy Three: Rama Lakshmanas proceed towards Matanga Vana and meet

Tapasvini Shabari awaiting Shri Rama Lakshmanas all along her life with indefinable devotion.

[Vishleshana on Yogini Shabari]

ESSENCE OF VALMIKI KISHKINDHA RAMAYANA

Sarga One: On reaching Pampa Sarovara Rama was excited at its natural grandeur

especially Sita's absence, Lakashmana solaces- as they approached Rishyamooka, Vanaras and Sugriva.

[Vishleshana on Pampa Sarovara recalled from Sarga 71 of Valmiki Ramayana's Aranya Khanda]

Sarga Three: Hanuman reached Rama Lakshmanas in a Tapasvi form, complemented Rama**21** Lakshmanaas by their appearance as Hanuman was pleased;

[1.Vishleshanas on Anjaneya on his origin and illustrative stutis- a ready repeat reference vide Essence of Valmiki Bala Ramayana 2. Vedaangas

Sarga Seven: As Shri Rama expressed his anguish and anger too, Sugriva seeks to assuage Rama's inner feelings and assures 'karya siddhi' finally; reciprocatively Rama assures Sugriva to regain his kingdom and wife too!

[1. Brief Vishleshana on Tri Gunas 2. 'Arishad Vargas' vide Bhagavad Gita and Kathopanishad:]

Sarga Twelve: Shri Rama's feat of destroying Seven Taala Trees in a row-Sugriva's

challenge to Vaali but gets beaten as Sugriva runs to Rishyamooka- Sugriva vilaapa- Rama explains the problem of Vaali Sugriva identity.

[Vishleshana on the identity of Ashvini Kumars from Surya Purana]

Sarga Thirteen: Much unlike Sugriva got thrashed by Vaali last time, the party of

Rama-Sugriva party proceeded again, enjoyed Prakriti Soundarya back to Kishkindha and secures blessings from Sapta Janaashrama Muni.

[Vishleshana on Tri Agnis: a) Varaha b) Brahmanda Puranas.

Sarga Seventeen: Falling before death, Vaali heavily criticizes Rama for his stealthiness, undeserved glory, falsity, and sheer selfishness colliding with Sugriva only to recover Devi Sita, which he too could have with bravery!

[Vishleshana on Bhagavan Hayagriva and Madhu Kaitabhas vide Devi Bhagavata Purana]

Sarga Eighteen: Shri Rama, having let Vaali steam off his anguish from his deadly fall, replies point by point and fully justifying action in releasing his frightful arrow, yet with sympathy

[Vishleshana on Chakravarti Mandhata from Maha Bhagavata Purana]

Sarga Twenty Four: Realising anguish of Tara Devi, Sugriva reacts severely and requests

Shri Rama to allow him to die while Tara too requests so- Rama seeks to assuage them;

[Vishleshana on Indra's killing Vritrasura vide Devi Bhagavata amd Maha Bhaganvata Puranas]

Sarga Twenty Five: Rama Lakshmanas pacify Sugriva, Tara, and Angada- Vaali's 'dahana samskara/ jalaanjali' by Angada -

Vishleshana samskara for human beings as explained vide Sarga 76 of Essence of Valmiki Ayodhya Ramayana]

Sarga Twenty Seven: Rama Lakshmana's diologues at their of Prasravana Giri Cave [Vishleshana on Tungabhadra]

Sarga Twenty Eight: Shri Rama describes to Lakshmana about the features of Varsha Ritu

[Vishleshana on Shat Ritus or Six Seasons from Taittiriya Arankaya]

Sargas Thirty Four and Thirty Five: Sugriva faces the wrath of Lakshmana and Tara continues to soothen Lakshmana by her tactical talks

Vishleshanaa : 1. on Prayaschittas (Atonements): sourced from Parashara Smriti and Manu Smriti and 2. Visleshana on Chandra Deva's inseperability of Devi Rohini vide Varaha Purana

Sarga Thirty Nine: As Shri Rama had sincerely thanked the efforts in mobilising an ocean like Vanara Sena to fight his battle against Ravanasura, the grateful Sugriva returns back for further action [Vishleshana on Anuhlada- Shachi Devi-and Indra]

Sarga Forty: Now that the full backing of Vanara Sena along with enthused dedication of 'Swami Karya', Rama instructed Sugriva to take off the efforts of 'Sitaanveshana' in the eastern direction [Vishleshana on Sapta Dweepas from Brahma Purana] [Ready Ref. Vishleshana repeated in brief about Vaamana Deva and Balichakravarti vide Essence of Valmiki Ramayana as released by the website of kamakoti .org/books

Sarga Forty Three:Sugriva explains the significance of the northern direction for Sitanveshana under the leadership of Shatabali of several 'vaanara veeraas' [Vishleshana on Manasa Sarovara]

Sarga Forty Five: While despatching the four directional Vaanara Sena, the text of Sugriva's encouraging remarks were as follows:

[Vishleshana on Agastya Maharshi and the reason for being ever residing in the Southern Bharata] **Sarga Fifty Six:** Gridhra Raja Sampaati arrives and frightens Vanaras initially but on hearing about the noble deed of 'Sitaanveshana' makes friends - Sampaati then hears of Ravana's killing of Jatayu, his younger brother.

[Vishleshana on Sampaati the elder brother of Jatayu vide Sarga 14 of Essence of Valmilki Araanya Ramayana for ready reference]

Sarga Fifty Seven: Angada places the badly hurt body of Sampaati from the mountain top and describes the details of Jatayu as killed by Ravanaasura- Rama Sugriva friendship- Vaali's death- and his 'aamarana upavaasa'

[Brief Vishleshana on Riksha Raja the father of Vaali-Sugrivas]

Sarga Sixty and Sixty One: Sampaati's interaction with his preceptor 'Nishakara Rishi' and explains as to how the wings of both his and his brother Jatayu's wings were burnt in a competition with Surya in the latter's triloka parikrama!

[Vishleshana on Surya Deva's bhu -pradakshina: Sources Vishnu Purana and Matsya Purana] **Sarga Sixty Five:** As Angada asked select Vanara yoddhhas of their ability to cross and return, individual responses were heard- then Jambavan recommends Veera Hanuman for this impossible and daring act.

Vishleshana of Vamana's Virat Swarupa from Vaamana Purana

ESSENCE OF VALMIKI SUNDARA RAMAYANA

Sarga One: Veera Hanuman leaps off the Ocean towards Ravana's Lanka, gets welcomed on way by Mainaka, encounters Surasa and subdues, kills Simhika, and enjoys the aerial view of Lanka [Vishleshanas 1) on Anjaneya's self confidence to cross the Maha Sagara, his decisiveness as expressed by himself vide Sarga 67 of Kishkindha Ramayana 2) Vishleshana on Sagara Chakravarti: as sourced from Maha Bhagavata Purana]

Sarga Two: Description of Lankapuri's beauty, thoughts about the size in which he shoud enter the interiors of the city and on the description Chandrodaya.

[[Vishleshanas on a) Bilwa Swarga of Maga Nagas b) Kubera

Sargas Seven and Eight: Description of Ravana Bhavana viz. Pushpaka Vimana-

Hanuman witnesses the inside out of the Pushpaka Vimana - indeed it was surfiet with Sundara Kanyas [Vishleshana on Maha Lakshmi Swarupas]

Sarga Nine: In the process of 'Devi Sitaanveshana' in the Pushpaka Vimana in Ravana's residence, Hanuman witnessed countless 'strees' of youthful charm being playful inside; why had Ravana forcefully abducted Sita, despite his reputation of never forcing a woman but willingly married! [Vishleshanas a) on Maharshi Vasishtha and Kama Dhenu Shabala- b) Panchendriyas]

Sarga Ten: In the process of searching for Devi Sita, Hanuman was confused

by seeing Devi Mandodari to Devi Sita!

[Vishleshana on Devi Mandodari]

Sarga Twelve: Hanuman in his remote thoughts wondered and was even concerned of Devi Sita's very existence but quickly recovered from such apprehensions resumed 'Sitanveshana'yet again with confidence and belief!

[Vishleshana on Continued Endeavor towards success vide Bhagavad Gita

Sarga Thirteen: Despite his sincere efforts of finding Devi Sita, the indications were slimmed and might even return disappointed. Yet, Sampati assured and visited 'Ashoka Vaatika' [Vishleshana on Sampaati's assurance to Vaanara Sena vide Kishkindha Ramayana Sarga 63]

Sarga Fifteen: Hanuman yet in his miniature form finally visioned Devi Sita near a

'Chaitya Praasaada Mandira' and identified her and felt ecstatic

[Vishleshana on Sankhya Shastra vide Brahma Sutras]

Sarga Sixteen: Hanuman having finally ensured that Devi Sita was visioned, felt that as to why she, an outstanding Pativrata, why and how Ravana has been disgusting, yet sad.

Vishleshana on Rama killing Karbandha who described his 'Atma Katha' ref. Sarga 69, Aranya Khanda]

Sarga Twenty Three: Select Rakshasis of learning like Ekajata-Harijata-Vikata-

and Durmikhi extoll the qualities of bravery of Ravanasura while seeking to convincingy pressurise Devi Sita to accept the offer of Prime Queenship

[Vishleshana on Prajapatis, Adityas, Rudras, Vasus and Ashvini Kumars]

sarga Twenty Seven: Even as the cruelmost Rakshasis surrounded Devi Sita

to attack, the eldest of them named Trijata screamed from her ominous dream and described tragic forebodes of 'Lanka Vinaashana' too soon [Vishleshana of two birds seated on the same branch of a tree-source Mundaka Upanishad]

Sargas Twenty Eight and Twenty Nine: Despite Trijata's 'dussvapna' foreboding

shouts of disasters about Ravana and Lanka Rajya, Devi Sita continued to cry shell shocked; however gradually recovered due to her own forevisions of auspiciousness

[Vishleshana on Indra entering Devi Diti's garbha sourced from Maha Bhagavata Purana:

Sarga Thirty Five: Devi Sita finally concedes Hanuman's genuineness- then he

describes Rama's 'guna ganaas', how Rama missed her, Sugriva's help repaying Rama's help by killing Vaali- Sampati's guidance to reach her.

[Vishleskana on a) Vedas and Vedangas b) [Comprehensive Vishleshana on a) Kesari-Shambanaada-Anjana Kumari; b)-Vayu Deva and Anjana Devi-c) Glory of Anjaneya d) Hanuman and Ravanaasura]

Sarga Thirty Six: Maha Veera Hanuman bestows Shri Rama's finger ring to

Devi Sita as a memory refresher- the highly excited Devi Sita falls back to her memory screen, as Hanuman assures Rama's arrival too soon!

[Vishleshana on Danava Anuhlaada-Shachi Devi- Indra] **Sarga Forty:** Devi Sita reiterated what Anjaneya should convey to Rama about her threats whille handing over hair clip to Shri Rama;

Hanuman reiterates his reaching Rama's soonest.

[Vishleshana on the sources of precious pearls from Essence of Soundarya Lahari]

Sarga Forty Eight: Shattered with putra shoka and humiliation, Ravana finally asked

Indrajit to use his brahmastra to end up the menace of Hanuman and save the Rakshasa Samrajya and his personal prestige and fame at stake!

[Vishleshana on Astra Vidya and illustrative 'Mantrika Astras]

Sarga Fifty: Pretending as bounded by Indrajit's Brahmaastra, though Brahma granted his immunity, Hanuman faced Ravana whose Minister asked him why he visited Lanka; he confirmed, he was Shri Rama's messenger.

[Vishleshana on 1. Nandishwara and 2. Baanasura]

Sarga Fifty One: Addressing Ravana, Veera Hanuman detailed Shri Rama's

'Prabhava' and warned that if Devi Sita were in any way hurt, that would be the instant final doom of Ravana and Lanka; Ravana went mad with fury.

[Vishleshana on Ravana's disgraced encounter with Vaali]

Sarga Fifty Two: Infuriated by Hanuman's insinuasions of Ravanas's record of failures and praising Rama's successes, Ravanasura orders the vanara be killed-Vibhishana pleads against killing a messenger, as Ravana heeds

[Vishleshana on Ravanasura's origin, family background and accomplishments in brief]

[Vishleshana on Parama Shiva's destruction of Tripuraasuras vide Kurma Purana

Sarga Fifty Four: Hanuman's vengeful 'Lanka Dahana and Vidhvamasha'

as the Rakshasaas were shocked wonderstruck whether he was of Rudra Swarupa or Rama Bhakta!

[Vishleshana on Parama Shiva's destruction of Tripuraasuras vide Kurma Purana]

ESSENCE OF VALMIKI YUDDHA RAMAYANA

Sarga Four: Rama Lakshmana Sugrivas followed by Maha Vanara Sena advances to the shores of Maha Samudra with confidence to initiate the massive task of 'Setu Bandhana'

[Vishleshana on Surya- Chandra-Shukraadi Grahas-Sapta Rishi Mandala- Dhruvas] [Vishleshana on Tarakasura Samhara by Skanda Deva]

Sarga Nine: As Rakasha Veeras assured Ravana of assurances with bravado unminded of enemy strength, Vibhishana requests him to respectfully return Devi Sita safe to Rama and save Lanka's glory and of generations. [Vishleshana on Tapatrayas]

Sarga Nine: As Rakasha Veeras assured Ravana of assurances with bravado unminded of enemy strength, Vibhishana requests him to respectfully return Devi Sita safe to Rama and save Lanka's glory and of generations. [Vishleshana on Tapatrayas]

Sarga Fourteen: Vibhishana appeals Ravana to release Devi Sita, praising Rama and his valour

- Prahasta heckles Vibhishana- as the latter retorts that neither Ravana with 'vyasnaas' nor his followers could match Rama ;[Vishleshana on Sapta Vyasanas of Kings]

Sarga Eighteen: Shri Rama being a 'sharanaagama rakshaka' replies to Sugriva ,but Veera Anjana Putra, and asks the Vanara King to allow his darshan

[Brief Visleshana on Shibi Chakravarti and how Indra and Agni Deva tested his spirit of self sacrifice]

Sarga Nineteen: Following in-house deliberation by select Vanara Veeras about Vibhishana's

Vibhishana's protection, Shri Rama, a 'sharanaagata rakshaka', finally consents and even assures

Kingship after Ravana's imminent death. [Vishleshana on Ashta Dikpaalakas]

Sarga Twenty Two: Maha Sagara himself personified restraining Rama's fury-advised

Vanara's 'maha shilpi', the method of constructing 'Setu Bandhana' to facilitate Ramas and the huge Vaanara Sena to cross the Maha Sagara [Vishleshana on Sqirrel and Setu Bandhana]

Sarga Twenty Six: Ravana asserted not release Devi Sita any way, yet asked Sarana about about Vanara yoddhaas and the latter mentioned Angada, Nala, Shweta, Kumuda, Chanda, Rambha, Sharabha, Panasa, Krodhana, Gavaya [Vishleshana on Ashta Bhiravas]

Sarga Thirty Three: As Devi Sita was drowned in 'duhka saagara' on seeing Rama's severed head, as shown by Mayavi Ravana, dharma buddhi Sarama Rakshsi reveals the truth asserting Rama Vijaya, assuaging Devi's fears

[Vishleshana on a) the Saptaashvas and Surya Ratha - b) Meru Pradakshina by the Sun Chariot]

Sarga Thirty Five: Buddhimaan Maalyavaan, on behalf of the Maha Mandali, appealed for appealed to 'Sandhi' with the impending attack by Rama citing 'neeti shastra' and especially due to several 'apashakunas' faced by Lankapuri.

[Brief Vishneshana on Fourteen Maha Vidyas and Principles of Neeti Shastra][Vishleshana on the impact of Kaala maana and the weakening of yuga dharmas: Excerpts from Manu Smirti- and Markandeya, Brahmanada and Bhavishya Puranas:]

Sarga Forty:Suddenly Sugriva spotted Ravana at his residential roof, was unable to control to contol his anger jumped down challenging him for 'malla yuddha'- as Ravana felt that Sugriva was too good and thus disappeared .[Vishleshana on 'Malla Yuddha Chatur Mandala Prakaara and Shashtha Sthaana Vivarana' by Bharata Muni.]

Sarga Forty Three: Dwandva Yuddhha of Ravana- Vaanara Bhallukas day long yuddha between Indrajit- Angada, Jambumali- Hanuman, Shatrughna-Vibhishana, Gaja-Neela, Prathasa-Sugriva, Virupasha-Lakshmana and so on.[Vishleshana on Maheshwara-Andhakaasura dwandhva yuddha']

Sarga Forty Five: As Rama Lakshmanas were tied down by 'Nagaastra' by Indrajit in hiding ,Vaanara Shreashthas tried to locate him who too were the victims of Indrajit's astras as the bewildered Maha Vanaras broke down too. [Vishleshana on Indrajit]

Sarga Forty Eight: As Sita was broken down in disbelief, she wondered whether whether Saamudrika Shastra -and Astrological Precepts were truthful assuring final success, but Trijata assured so too yet with.hurdles.[Vishleshana on Saamudrika Shastra on women in general]

Sarga Fifty: Vibhishana distressed at Lakshmana unrecovered, Rama decides to withdraw from the battle; Sushena advises Hanuman to get herbs from Sanjeevani Parvata-Garuda lands frees from 'naaga bandhana' [Vishleshana on Garuda Deva, the Vinata Nandana]

Sarga Sixty Nine: As Ravana felt the never dreamt of Kumbhakarna's fall , Trishira

cooled down his anguish while Ravana Putras /cousin kumaras readied yet Narakantaka too resisted much as Angada removed him dead- [Vishleshana on a) Shambarasura- Indra and b) Narakasura and Vishnu]

Sarga Eighty Seven:Indrajit heckles Vibhishana for discarding his 'swadhama'

to join Rama but Vibhishana details of his Poulastya ancestry, highlights Ravana's 'duraachaaras' and to get ready to be soon killed by Lakshmana!

[Visheshana on Bhuta Bali]

Sarga Eighty Eight: Lakshmana-Indrajit exchange of hot words followed by fierce battle mutually yet physically hurting each other on and on but never tired despite blisters and flows of blood as Vibhishana attacked Indrajit.

[Visheshana on Panchaagnis]

Sarga Hundred and Thirteen: Hanuman reached Ashoka Vaatika for Sita darshana-talked at length - she complemented him a lot yet desired not to kill the rakshasis who were after all instructed by Ravana - both proceeded to Rama.

[Vishleshana on Ashtanga Gunas]; [Vishleshana on Hunter-Tiger-Bhalluka reference by Devi Sita to Hanuman as the latter asked her permission to destroy rakshasis threatening her for months].

Sarga Hundred and Fifteen: Rama asserted that he underwent several issues

to resurrect Dharma although Sita's freedom now was only incidental - as she stayed under Ravana's care for long, he would free her seeking her own comfort

[Visleshana on Agastya and Daitya brothers Vaataapi and Ilvala as sourced from Matsya Purana]

Sarga Hundred and Seventeen: As Devi Sita entered 'agni jvaalaas' set by

Lakshmana with Rama's implicit awareness, sarva deva mandali headed by Brahma praised Rama as of Vishnu avatara and Sita as Maha Lakshmi

[Vishleshana of Ashta Vasus, Ekaadasha Rudras, Saadhaka Devataas, and Ashvini Kumaraas] [Brief Vihleshana on select Purusha Sukta's select stanzas].

Sarga Hundred and Ninteen: Maha Deva complemented Rama and pointed out at Dasharadha's Soul from Swarga as the latter blessed Rama stating that he redeemed his soul as Ashtavakra did to his father and assured Kingship with glory.

[Vishleshana on Ashtavarka and his father Kahola].

Final Sarga Hundred Twenty Eight :Bharata's handing over Ayodhya Rajya-Sita Rama Nagara Yatra-Rajyabhisheka- [Brief Vishleshana on Rama Rajya from Agni Purana]

Essence of Valmiki Baala Ramayana

Sarga one: Valmiki enquires of Brahmarshi Narada to identify the Purushottama of Tretayuga - Vishleshanas- Ikshvaaku Vamsha; Rules of 'Dharma Yuddha'; Chitrakuta mountain; Agastya; Shabari; Anjaneya: origin and illustrative stutis; Rama Rajya; Ideal kingship; Ashvamedha Yagyna Vishsleshana - Explanatory Note: Ikshvaaku Vamsha-

Vishsleshana - Explanatory Note: Ikshvaaku Vamsha: : Bhavishya Purana explains "After the Pralay in Treta Yuga, King Sudarshan returned from Himalaya and revived Ayodhya Puri and thanks to the and the Holy Sages. King Sudarshan ruled for thousands of years and in course of Time, his son King Dilip initiated a new generation and King Raghu heralded the Surva Vamsha or the Raghu Vamsha. King Raghu's grandson Dasharatha had the unique privilege of securing Lord Shri Rama, the 'Avatar' of Bhagavan Vishnu. Surya Vamsa dominated from Shri Ram's son Kusha downward for hundreds of generations thereafter and the Kings were by and large virtuous, engaged in Yagnas and Agni Karyas, charities and the preservation of Dharma. Padma Purana is quoted: Vaiwasvata Manu had ten sons, viz. Ila, Ikshvaaku, Kushanaabha, Arishta, Dhrushta, arishyant, Karusha, Mahabali Sharyati, Prushaghna, Naabhaga and Ambarisha. By dint of relentless Tapasya, Vaivaswata secured the boon from Brahma of becoming the Supreme Administrator of Prithvi of high virtue and Fortune and thus he became the First Manu Ever! Ila also became ambitious and wandered several places and by mistake entered the 'Sharavana' Garden, little knowing that who ever entered the Sharavana would instantly turn into a woman as per the instructions of Parameswara where Shiva Deva was alone with Devi Parvati. Even outside the Sharavana, Ila as a woman was attracted to Budha, the son of Chandra (Moon). Ila's brother Ikshvaku was worried about the disappearance of Ila and having realised the fact that any male entering the Sharayana would be converted as a female and that Ila also would have been converted like wise. Ihshvaku prayed to Shiva and as directed Ihshvaku announced Ashvamedha Yagna so that Ila as a female could be identified since the brave Ila would be definitely attracted to the Ashvamedha Yagna and the challenge of holding the horse. Indeed the Plan of Ikshvaku worked well and Ila was identified as the 'wife' of Budha, the son of Chandra. The female Ila became a Kimpurush for six months and as a woman for six months as per the boon of Shiva. As a Kimpurush, Ila also known as Sudyumna gave birth to three sons Utkal, Gaya and Haritashwa and they became the Kings of Utkal (Orissa), Gaya, and Haritashwa or Kuru. Ikshvaku became the King of Madhyadesha who begot hundred sons half of whom ruled the northern side of Meru and the others the Southern side. Kakustha was the eldest son of Ikshvaku and in that lineage was born Yuvanashwa and his great grandson was the famed Kuvalashva who killed the notorious demon Dundhumara. It was in this lineage that the illustrious Mandhata who was the Chakrayarti of the Universe.In his lineage were the famous Purukutsa, Muchukunda, Harischandra, Dilip, Bhagiratha who brought the Sacred Ganga to Earth, Nabhaga, Ambarisha, Raghu, Dasaratha and the Incarnation of Lord Vishnu, the Epic Hero Shri Rama who killed Ravanasura and his able brothers Bharata, Lakshmana and Shatrughna; the Surya Vamsha of the clan of Ikshvaku was further extended by Kusha and Lava. Brahma Purana states: Vaivaswa had nine sons viz. Ikshvaaku, Naabhaga, Dhrushta, Sharyaati, Narishyanta, Praamshu, Arishta, Karusha and Prushaghna. Once Vaivaswa performed one

Yagna with the objective of begetting a daughter and Maharshi Mirtaavaruna was the Chief Priest; as the Maharshi offered a powerful oblation in the Agni Kunda, there emerged a maiden whom the Manu addressed as Ila and she took the permission of Matraavaruna and went near the Manu; the Manu blessed her, named her as Sudyumna and instructed her to expand Manu vamsha. She met Budha Deva in marriage and gave birth to **Puru**; she gave birth further to three sons viz. Utkal (whose Kingdom was the present Orissa), Gaya (the Capital of Gaya desha) and Vinataashva. Puru's Kingdom was distributed into parts to accommodate the nine sons too. Ikshvaaku became the Ruler of Madhyadesaha. Ila and Sudyumna was one and the same but alternatively as a woman and as a man for each six months. Naashyanta's son was Shaka; Nabhaaga begot Ambarisha; Dhrishta and Karusha begot sons of the same name; Pramshu was issueless; Sharyati got twin children-a boy named Anarta and a girl Sukanya who was wedded to Chyavana Maharshi. Anarta begot Raiva, and the latter's son was Raivata, also known as Kakudmi who became the King of Kushasthala. Once Raivata accompanied by his daughter Revati visited Brahma loka and the latter was at that time engrossed in 'Gandharva Gaana'/ the songs of Gandharva; after the singing session, Brahma when told of the purpose of their visit viz. to bless his daughter of a suitable match for her, Brahma smiled and stated that during his visit to Brahma loka, Yugas rolled by but blessed Revati to return to their place and that she would definitely wed a Mahatma. On return, the father and daughter discovered a complete change of their Place in Dwapara Yuga and on making local enquiries found **Balarama**, the elder brother of Krishnaas a suitable life-partner for Devi Revati: thus the age-difference of Balarama and Devi Revati was a full Yuga! Rules of 'Dharma Yuddha' or a Battle for Justice. Once a battle is decided mutually, there should be a lead time for the preliminaries, - a week's time- to offer prayers to 'Ganesha' viz. the very First God to worship and the 'Trimurthies' (Triumverate) viz. Brahma, the Creator, Vishnu the Preserver and Eswar, the Destroyer; to 'Dikpalas' (the Gods of Four Directions); 'Rudras' the Gods of Killings; the 'Nava Grahas' (Gods of Planets) as also of Stars; and Aswini Devatas and Rivers. The Army assembles at the eastern point of the CapitalCity before the departure and at the start off of the March should be rejoiced by Victory Slogans and reverberation of musical instruments. There would not be a recall or a faltering step once the march is flagged off. After covering a good distance of a couple of miles, there might be a brief stop over for rest/regrouping/prayers. The King (Chief) should not intervene in the battle directly till the very end. But, he should be behind at a distance to keep up the morale of the Army. There should be formations of an elephant each in the center, defended by four chariots of four horses each, each horse defended by four infantrymen, who should be in the forefront, defended behind by archers and horses and behind them be 'Yantramuktas' or mehanically propelled explosives. The attacking men should have the pride of place- be it in the infantry, or on horses or chariots or 'Yantramuktas' and comparatively less courageous and defensive forces should be in the rear. A person killed in a war deserves 'Veera Swarga', equivalent to performing 'Yagnas' and a soldier who runs away or shows his back or wantonly avoids confrontation would be considered not only as a criminal in the eyes of Law but as a sinner or murderer of a Brahmin in the eyes of God. At the same time, the defeated soldiers are to be let back honourably by the victorious side with grace. It would be a sin to maltreat the defeated soldiers, slay the persons unarmed, perpetrate revenge of any kind to the citizens of the defeated kingdom, especially the spectators, scribes, women and children and take advantage of any kind to the defenceless. (Agni Purana) Now about the Yuddha Dharmas of a Kshatriya King. In the course of 'Dharma Paalana' or of the observance of virtuous authority, then in the context of a battle with a foreign invader against his own Kingdom, then irrespective of the ability or otherwise, the King has to spare no effort in the battle and fight tooth and nail till the last drop of his blood. Sangraameshvanivartitvam prajaa -naam chaiva paalanam, shushrushaa braahmananaam cha raajnaam shreyaskaram param/Aahaveshu mithonyonyam jighaansanto maheek -shitah, yudhyamaanaah param shaktyaa svargam yaantyaparaan mukhaah/ To retreat and show his back running away from the battle field has no room for 'kshaatrava dharma' and so also his service to braahmana is so imperative and binding. In an open battle, a true kshatriya desirous of securing 'veera swarga' should never resort to devious ways of killing an enemy like using secret weaponry or by using blazing or poisonous arrows to secure the kill. Also striking a eunuch, an opponent seeking mercy, a person who flees from the fight, or simply withdraws from the fight is not

commendable. Equally so would be a fight against a half asleep, unguarded, disarmed, or already engaged in a different enemy, or an onlooker enemy is not worthy of commendation. Killing an enemy with wounds on his body, or with broken weaponry, one in his retreat with disgrace is also not the quality of a purposeful fight. When a kshatriya warrior is killed even as he runs away from the battle, then a part of the sin is ascribed to the King as the Commander-in-Chief. Equally so as the valiant fights but gets killed in the battle, a part of the Veera Swarga's benefit is due to the King. The chariots, horses, elephants, military equipment, grain, women, gold and properties of the defeated King automatically gets gained to the winning King, but such possesions of the win over has necessarily to be shared by the soldiers too, lest the King's name and title as the 'Chhatrapati' or the Overall Master becomes a misnomer! Further the duty of the King would be to revive the memory of the illustrious fallen heros and and provide adequate wherewithal to his families. Alabdham chaiva lipseta labdham rakshet prayatnatah, rakshitam vardhaye chchaiva vriddham paatreshu nikshipet/Etachchaturvidham vidyaat purushaartha prayojanam, asya nityamanushthaanam samyak kuryaadatandritah/ or Whatever is not available in one's life, efforts be made to secure it, whatever is so secured be properly retained safe, besides what ever is retained in tact, try to improve the same; these are the four kinds of Purushardhas of Dharma- Artha- Kaama- Mokshas, and these principles of human aspirations be pursued without fail. Once a particular desire is not fulfilled then that be accomplished even by 'danda' or force, once so gained do seek to maintain it, and do try to improve and so on. A King is well equipped with 'danda' and that alone which the commonality of the public could enforce an objective with. But never try the means of deceit or roundabout guile as that path would certainly dig up flaws and deviations from what is aimed at . An enemy within or from outside could sooner or later discover ways and means of the policy objective by picking holes like when a tortoise could hide its limbs and would as such fail. Hence the direct approach to strike by force as the public has no alternative but to follow and the world around is left in wonder and admiration. The enemy too can be awed by the direct approach and would have no option. A lion uses its strength while a crane pretends meitation in patience, like a wolf snaches by trickery, but like a hare makes a double retreat. Even the external enemies would not prolong the victory by the Saama-Daana- Bhedopaayas for the fear of danda! A farmer knows as to how to cut off and sweep the weeds to preserve the crop and so does a King in protecting his Kingdom by destroying the enemies. Nevertheless, there is a word of caution by the Learned; in the event of an external enemy being either more powerful or of similar strength, then the stop in steps of Saama-Daana- Bhedas need to be employed and commended. This policy is worthy of following in the external context certainly. Referring to the domestic scene, the extent of utilising 'danda' or force might boomerang only if honesty is truly proven and only to the extent of what unreasonabe and evil minded critics beyond the conviction level of the honest and duty bound masses of public as a King of dharmic values could certainly gauge. Indeed the King ought to realise the cut off limits of utilising the danda as that ought to be proven as 'pro bono publico' or as of the larger interests of the general public. Even protecting the farm produce, the weeds of opposing forces be nipped as the King's prime priority is to preserve Kingship itself. Saamaadinaamupaayaanaam chaturnaamapi panditaah, saamadandau prashansanti nityam raashtraabhiyriddhaye/ Yathoddharati nirdaataa kaksham dhaanyam cha rakshati, tathaa rakshennripo raashtram hanyaachha paripanthinah/ or either of rashness or ignorance, no King could possibly pull down his own kingdom, along with himself, his family and his subjects by resorting to self-defeating measures which might ruin the self, as after all his own life-force is that of his entire kingdom. Just as torturing the bodies of his limbs and senses is as severe as torturing the King himself! Hence thoughtful governance of his kingdom in turn aims at prosperity of himself and vice versa.]

Vishleshana on Chitrakuta Mountain:

Chitrakut: Most significant fact is that Lord Shri Ram along with Devi Sita and brother Lakshman spent years together at this 'Tapobhumi' or Meditation Land of Sanctity- where Maharshi Atri and his ilustrious follower Munis stayed too- during his forest life as per his father Dasharatha's wish. Chitrakut is some 15 km from Karvey Station is on Manikpur-Jhansi Line of Indian Railways. At Chitrakut, the parikrama or circumambulation of Kamadagiri /mountain and Shri Rama Darshan are the significant tasks. The

parikrama is to take some five days of some 30 km. Starting from Raghava Prayaga 'snana' at Sitapur-Koti Tirtha, Sita Devi's Kichen, Hanuman Dhara-Keshavaghar, Pramodavana, Janaki kund, Sirasa vana, Spkatika shila, Anasuya- Gupta Godavari snana, Kailasa Parvata darshana- and from Chabepura to Bharat kupa and Rama Shayya or Rama's bed. On way in the Parikrama occur Mukharavinda where snana is of importance followed by temples of Hanuma, Saakshi Gopala, Lakshmi Narayana, Shri Ramas sthaana, Tulasidasa nivasa, Kaikeyi and Bharata Mandirs, Charana Paduka Mandir. There are three most hallowed 'Charana Chinha' or foot prints of Lord Shri Rama viz. Charana Paduka or His footwear prints, Janaki kunda and 'Sphatika shaala'. The specific Spot where Bharata met Rama for the first time and the molten stone of Rama's footprint is visible still. Among other hallowed Places nearby Charana Paduka are Lakshman Hill and Lakshman Mandir, Janaki Kund, Anasuya-Atri Ashram, Gupta Godavari and so on. Nearby Chitra kut are Ganesha Kund, Valmiki Ashram, Viradha Kunda, Sharabhanga Ashram, Sutikshan Ashram and Rama Vana.]

[Vishlesana or delineation about Agastya- from Matsya Purana: Sage Narada enquired of Bhagavan Shankara about the origin of Agastya Muni and Vasishta. Maheswara explained tha once Indra despatched Vayu and Agni to destroy Danavas and having successfully killed thousands of the enemies, ignored some Daityas like Taraka, Kamalaaksha, Paravasu, Kaladamshtra and Virochana as they fled away and concealed in deep Seas. The Danavas who hid themselves kept on tormenting human beings as also Devatas eventually. Indra ordered that Vayu and Agni should dry up the Sea water, especially to kill dangerous Diatyas like Jambhasura, but the both the Devas argued that in the process of drying up the Seas even in a minor manner there would be serious havoc caused to crores of Jeevas. Indra was annoyed at their argument and cursed them to fall down on Earth from Swarga and both the Devas entered into a 'Jala Kumbha' or Water Pitcher as a single body. Meanwhile, Sages Nara and Narayana were in Tapasya on GandhamadanaMountain, and Indra was concerned that they might not be a threat to his chair; he despatched a few Apsaras to the Mountain along with Kamadeva but their attempts to tempt the Maharshis failed. As the Apsaras continued to be stationed there, Narayana Rishi created a damsel of exquisite attraction from his thighs and named her Urvasi; he desired that Apsaras should realize that their beauty was nothing compared to whom they could materialise as Urvasi and they could not possibly tempt Nara Narayan Maharshis, after all! Mitra (Sun God) and Varuna (Rain God) happened to see the damsel and could not resist the fall of their combined semen of Mitravaruna which was deposited in the same Jala Kumbha (pitcher) that fell down from the Swarga and thus Agastya was born as Kumbha Sambhava. Vasishtha too was reborn from the pitcher earlier since he felt offended when King Nimi did not properly attend to him as he visited the King and hence gave a curse to Nimi to live as 'Videha'or without body, but the King too gave a return curse; both Nimi and Vasishtha approached Lord Brahma who solved the problem by retaining Nimi's life in his Eyes and Vasishtha to be reborn to Mitravaruna since the latter's semen fell in the pitcher on seeing Apsara Urvashi. Subsequently Agastya married Lopamudra, absorbed the entire Ocean in his Kamandulu to isolate the Danavas to enable Indra to kill the notorious Danavas and released it later as his urine and was thus stated to be salty!; he also razed down the ego of Vindhya Mountain by making him bend for ever thus banning the Mountain to stoop for ever till the Sage's return which never happened as he continued to stay down the Vindhyas. There was also the legend attributed to Agastya about the Daitya brothers Ilvala and Vatapi, who knew the Mrita Sanjeevani Mantra; they would assume the forms of Brahmanas and seek the passers by to tempt them to a feast of goat-meat, and after consuming the meal ask Vatapi to come out and Vapati would come out piercing through the tummy of the stranger and the brothers would enjoy his meat. But Agastya Muni was too clever to bless the good food saying 'Vatapi! Jeerno bhava' and Vatapi was fully digested even before Ilvala was able to recite the Mrita Sanjeevani Mantra! [Till date, devotees recite Lalita Sahasranama as inspired by 'Vaagdevatas' as also the 'Aditya Hridaya' scripted by Agastya Muni. Vasishtha, the Brahmarshi was the arch-enemy of Rajarshi Vishvamitra ever since the latter claimed Nandini the Celestial Cow and fought a battle in which Viswamitra was defeated. The enmity continued till once both

the Rishis cursed each other to become birds and finally Brahma had to intervene and convert them back as human beings].

Vishleshana on Shabari;

Shabari was a tribal girl curious to know what 'dharma' was all about and approached Matanga Maharshi at the foothills of Rishyamukha mountain; the Rishi accepted her as his student and eversince lived in his ashram teaching her in his service. As years paassed by she became old walking with a stick and plucking berry fruits from the gardens of the ashram; meanwhile Matanga Muni achieved 'Maha Samaadhi' in 'padmaasana' posture, while assuring her to awat the arrival of Shri Rama Lakshmanas. As the latter finally did arrive, she brought basketful of berry fruits and after biting and tasting the fruits only offered them to Rama and Lakshmana declaring to the world that sincere 'bhakti' would be the 'moksha maarga'; and thus the 'Shabari Ramayana' emphasizing Bhakti for Bliss. Rama gave the discourse to Shabari aboudt the nine folded bhakti viz. 'Satsang' or affinity with followers of Truthful Virtue - 'Shravana' or hearing all about Dharma- 'Guru Seva' or Service and Following of a Guide- 'Japa' or constant repetition of the Sacred Name of Paramatma- 'Bhajana' or chorus singing in praise of the Lord as an expression in the public and selfless service to the societ- and finally 'bhakti' or intense devotion without expectation recalling Bhagavad Gita's: Karmanyevaadhikaaraste maa phaleshu kadaachana, maa karma heturbhuuh maate sangostva karmani/ One has only the liberty to 'do' but never demand the return fruits about which one has no control. Yet never abstain from the performance surely expected of the person.you. 'Karma Phala' is as per the decision of the Almighty. What ever is decided as per destiny shall doubtless be awarded to the person concerntd. Never hesitate to accept by way of self desire or by the misleading advice of the public. The very feeling of disappointment creates suspicion and self repudiation. This tends to lead to frustration which is the anti-thesis of contentment and thus further leads to a string of inabilities for further successes! That situation is tantamount to 'jadatva' or total lack of initiative!]

Brief Vishleshana on **Anjaneya:** Origin and Illustrative Stutis

Origin)Kesari the son of Gautami Rishi and Kesari's wife Anjana secured a grand son named *Hanuman* with the 'Amsa' (facet) of Parama Shiva and Vayu Deva too was responsible in the birth of the boy. Mistaking Surya Deva for a red-coloured fruit, the boy was tempted to fly skywad tried to hold Surya Deva, as Indra threw his Vajra on Hanuman's body and Ravana tried to hold Hanuman's tail but Hanuman never left his firm hold of Surya Deva. Ravan kept on fighting for a year in vain and tried to wriggle out of Hanuman's powerful clasp. Meanwhile Rishi Vishrava arrived at the spot and eulogised Hanuman to release Ravana the terror of the Universe. There after Hanuman resided for long time at Pampapura on the banks of PampaRiver as a strong fixture and was thus acclaimed as 'Sthanu'. Also since Ravana who had dictated the World and controlled Devas was humiliated by Anjaneya, his name and fame spread as Hanuman: Nighnanta cha Suraan mukhyan Ravanam Lokaraavanam, Nihanti Mushthirbhayah sa Hanumaaniti vishrutah. (Ravana who was in the habit of badly hurting Devas and related Demi-Gods and killing Vishnu- Bhaktas without mercy had thus been restrained badly and received a jolt by Hanuman; the 'Mushtighatas' or 'Hanus' (beatings of closed hand grasps) damaged Ravana was the reason why Hanuman was named as such. Lord Brahma informed Hanuman that during the twenty eighth Tretayuga's first Part of Vaivaswa Manvantara, Bhagavan Vishnu would take the Incarnation of Shri Rama and that he would achieve Rama's unreserved devotion to Hanuman and destroy the clan of Rayana, his cruel brothers and sinful sons. (Bhavishya Purana)

Vishleshana or analysis

Rama Rajya: The perception, as to how a King should govern his Kingdom and the Subjects, was illustrated by Lord Rama to Laxmana. Agni Purana has described Rama's Percepts of an Ideal King: A King has to create wealth, increase it, protect it, and donate it. He should be humble-the humility arising

out of victory, essentially after defeating the human senses of revenge, anger and retribution. He should be strong, magnanimous and forgiving, kind and protective. His support to the inferior and the needy is as significant as to punish and uproot the wicked and harmful. The human vices of greed, lust, dishonesty are but the reflections of a sick mind, which has no conviction or courage or helpfulness to the needy. Rama also advised considerable patience to deal with the timid, haughty and hurtful as these are indeed the traits of a villian. Once there is no ray of remorse and there is no trace of recovery from the pent-up senses of ego, impoliteness and audacity, then the time to end the culprit has arrived. Bhavishya Purana. Ideal Kingship: Manu Deva then describes the ways of conduct and dharmas of a King about his origin and keys to his success as a popular and famed head of a nation. On attaining kingship to a deserving and select kshatriya origin, the King is coronated by the prescribed Vedic Principles to assume the duties expected as from a Head of the Kindom. This is so when a Leader of the Society has to establish an authoratative Institution based essentially on Dharma and Nyaya and above all to ensure safety and security as an Integrated Identity among the comity of co-kingdoms. Hence the group of Devas like Indra, Surya, Vaayu, Yama, Agni, Varuna, Chandra and Kubera confer Kingship to the most suitable Kshatriva as per Vedic Verses hence as the unique representative of the lusters and magnificenes of the combinations of the repesentative Devas; indeed like a Sun God the King becomes too radiant to gaze and provides the great source of authority and power sourced from the respective Devas of warmth yet heat of Agni, sweep and speed of Vaayu, placidity and coolness of Chandra, sterness and demand of justice/ virtue of Yama, ample food and sustenance of Varuna, and the auspiciousness and prosperity of Kubera! Even a King as an infant is worthy of respect and awe as there is a worthy King in him and ought to be so venerated. Indeed, careless approach and casual treatment paid to an infant king, who is no doubt, backed up the strong foundations of Kingship as from Vedic Principles, as Agni could provide warmth as also burn the whole family and property as of 'lock-stock- and barrel'! A King with his 'kaarya siddhi' or the success of his purpose as per the prevalent circumstances of 'Desha Kaala Tatwa' seeks to attain 'dharma siddhi' as he asumes varied features of kshama, krodha, mitrata, or even pratikaara or revenge! A King indeed is 'sarva tejomaya' or all powerful as he could usher in Devi Lakshmi or alround prosperity, or his anger might invite mrityu or death. If a King is annoyed even by default, the victim's misfortune kicks off and his indignation is certain to mritu! Tasmaad dharmam yamishteshu sa vyavasyennaraadhipah, anishtam chaapyanishteshu tam dharmam na vichaalayet/ Tasyaarthe sarvabhutaanaam goptaaram dharmama -atmajam, brahmatejomayam dandam- asrijat purvameeshvarah/ or that is why the dharmas originally created by the institution of Kingship are such as never to be infringed upon and hence the age old principles are such as shaped by the conscience of any King either of mercy or of punishments. This why any of the 'sthaavara-jangamaas' or of moving-immoveable nature in Srishti are driven by the impulses of their own consciences too and the interpretations of respective Kingships as per 'desha kaala- paristhitis' or of contemporary situations need necessarily to be upheld and observed. Hence punishments truly represent the King, his Purushtva of assertion and of unquestionable Leadership; punishment only governs, protects, and sustains vigilance even in sleep or casualness as the constant guard and caution. Sameekshya sa dhritah samyak sarvaa ranjayati prajaah, asameekshya praneetastu vinaashayati sarvatah/ Once punishment is made applicable and enforced, it uproots the evil but once gets lax then attracts further evil. In the case of a King's negligence of punishment, the defaulted person once saved perpetuates the evil as a fried fish about to be pitch-forked spared or soft cotton piece turns into an iron rod! In case a King spares a criminal from punishment, a crow would steal a pitru pinda or a dog sniff or lick a sacrificial food just as a person of illfame forcefully occupies another's lawful house in possession since dandasya hi bhayaat sarvam jagad bhogaaya kalpate/ or the entire world loses the grip

of fear and becomes all kinds of illegal perversions. Once a rod is spared then even a child is spoilt; Deva, Daanava, Gandharva, Raakshasa, Pakshi, Sarpas too once spared would be victimised with evil; being devoid of 'daanda', the conduct of all the beings in Srishti gets sullied and in respect of human beings varnaashrama dharmas are severely broken irretrievably paving way for vices and engendering evil forces Yatra shyaamo lohitaaksho dandashcharati paapahaa, prajaastatra na muhyanti netaa chet saadhu pashyati/ Tasyaahuh sampranetaaram raajaanam satyavaadinam, sameekshya kaarinam praajnam dharma kaamaartha kovidam/ That exactly why the concept of Kingship or Leadership is stated as the hinge and hold of the sensitive balance of virtue and vice; where punishment is due it ought to stalk around assuming black color and of red eyes demolish blemishes and sins. Moreso it is in the context of fulfilling the four human aspirations of Dharma-Artha-Kaama-Moksha in a measured manner; indeed hence is the presence of Leadership as assumed by a King. Kingship is defined as who is aware and conscious of the are of punishing and sparing the stick; tam raajaa pranayansamyak trivargena abhivardhate or He is the ideal King who is truthfully wedded to the principles of virue and nyaaya, modest and ideal earnings for the Self and dependents besides spare for charity, and controlled and regulated by moderate and just desires; but certainly not to fullfill sensual pleasures, deceitful ways of flippant lives and of selfish motivations. When punishment is prescribed it may not be palatable to unrelenting minds, but when the king concerned does not proclaim it in a non commensurate manner without adequately examining or hiding facts of the case, then the King if partial in judgment is not spared too and might affect his family even. Once the King and his family s ruined, then the store of 'adharmaas' so collected might affect not only his possessions of castles, his territories and his 'praja' and their forunes also. Contrarily a champion of Dharma and Nyaya would carve a niche not merely among the co-kings but as in respect of Maharshis and even Devas might secure a qualification for Brahmatva! A continous series of undue punishments out of hiding facts or ignoring them and issued by an unjust King would have repurcussions on the disgrace and ruin of his deputies down the line in thed Vamsha and might adversely affect those concerned like Ministers, Army Commanders and so on as involved in the declarations of judgments. Further on, even the Sages would feel the guilt and the though processes of Devas receiving 'havyas' at the Agni Karyas in the Kingdom might be disturbed! Hence: Shuchinaa satyasandhena yathaa shaastaanusaarinaa, pranetum shakyate dandah susahaayena dheemataa/ Svaraashtre nyaaya vrittah syaad bhrishadashcha shatrushu, suhritsyajihmah snigdheshu braahmaneshu kshamaanvitah/ The ideal most King is such sagacious, truthful and inteligent kind of unique followers of Dharma and Nyaya, ably assisted by equally professional deputies, and indeed his judgments for or against punishments or rewards are stated to be one among the countless ones of his worthy race. The fame of such rarity are like drops of oil spreading fast in running flows of water. However the ill fame of a King unworthy of his title and seat tends to act like buter on the water flows steadily till the day of doom. The idealism of Kingship upholds the dignities of the Chatur Varnas and ensures their continuity... Such Kings of rarity are stated to possess their daily routine as follows: in the early mornings itself, they attend the congregations of the learned and the aged vidwans of Rig-Yajur-SaamaVedas and discuss the specifics of Dharmas and of Administrative Principles involved. They worship and honour such vidwans appropriately and abide by their teachings as discussed. Such exemplary Kings are never harmed but enjoy longevity and prosperity. They are modest and that modesty makes them imperishable. For want of modesty, several Kings in history had perished along with their belongings and on the other hand hermits in forests had turned to be Kings. Veno vinashtovinayaatnahushashchaiva paarthivah/Sudaah paija vanashchaiva sumukho nimireva cha/ Prithustu vinayaad raajyam praaptavaan manureva cha, Kuberashcha dhanaishvaryam brahmannyam chaiva Gaadhijah/ In the historical introspective, illustrious Chakravartis or Emperors like Vena, Nahusha, Sudaasa, Yavana, Sumukha, and Nimi perished out of their questionable and evil conduct. On the other hand Prithu and Manu flourished as Chakravatis out their outstanding modesty and impecable character and Kubera gained the position of Dhanadyaksha and one of the Ashtapalakas of the Universe. Vishwamitra the illusrious son of Gaadhi a Kshatriya by birth attained the status of an elevated Brahmana by the dint of perseverance, tapsya and conduct. The King should perfectly understand the aspirations of the common persons of the day especially in avioding the pitfalls of co-Kings and most unhesitatingly try to initiate steps in constructing such a Capital City and never even seek to his own personal comfort but ensure his deputies and staff as well as the public of the Kingdom to live with comfort and safety. Towards this end, he needs to construct a fortress protected by vagaries of seasons and possible eventualities of diseases or natural disasters. Such a fortress of distinction and status be suitably equipped with defence forces to ensure safety from attacks of beasts, robbers, internal forces of revolution, external foes and such elements and forified with weapons, grains, cattle and fodder, ample water and tools, as also Vidwans, artisans, and representatives of chatur varnas, and above all Purohitaas or Priests and Ritvigs to duly perform various smarta karmas of auspicious nature besides the shrouta karmas of daily agni karyas and Sacrifices. Yajeta raajaa kratubhirvi vidhairaapta dakshinaih, dharmaartham chaiva viprebhyo dadyaad bhogaan dhanaani cha/ Saanvatsarikamaaptaishcha raashtraadaahaarayed balim, syaachchaamnaayaparo loke varteta pitrivatnrishu/ The King has to be such as always engaged in Ashwamedhaadi yajnas attracting learned Brahmans to receive gifts and charities of golden ornaments, precious clothes and so on besides providing employment to workers as also the participating crowds of public with feasts. Indeed the King is stated more than a father and protector of the interests of one and all. As the citizens of the Kingdom are responsive of the noble activities of the King and the band of his officials of commitment ensuring peace and safety, the taxes are paid on time and general business climate is salutary and hence the economy is sound and attracts investments from the public and from foreign kingdoms too. Besides plugging in loopholes of business transactions, the King too motivate the officials down the line with incentives, moral persuasion and punishments against inefficiency or corruption. As BrahmanaVidyathis emerge out of Guru Kula after Vedaadhyayana are suitably gifted and trained for more and more tough assignments to preserve and promote dharmaacharana since nidhir braahmanobhi dheeyate or indeed Brahmanas are the treasures installed by the Kings that could neither be lost nor robbed; such treasures could also not be split, nor perish as they are ever-sustained by the purity and blaze of Agni itself. Samamabraahmane daanam dvigunam braahmanabruve, praadheete shatasaahasramanantam veda -paarage/ Paatrasya hi visheshena shraddadhaanatayaiva cha, alpam vaa bahu vaa pretya daanasya phalamashnute/ While charity is offered to any of Varnas then there would be good returns of 'sukrita phala', but once that daana is given to a Brahmana the returns get doubled; once that daanas are executed to a well read and knowledgeble Brahmana, the fruits get further intensified hundred thousand fold, while the recipient is a Veda Vedanga paaranga, then he demands 'anantha phala'! Even if a 'daana'were given as per one's own ability, then undoubtedly a deserving status is accomplished in the higher worlds. (Manu Smriti) Reverting back to stanzas 94 -96: The most illusrious personality of Treta Yuga having successfully poincerd over hundred Asyamedha Yagjnas having executed ten thousand crores of daanaas especially of milch cows had kept up the flag of dharma atop, reigned for 11thousand years and then gor absorbed in the time cycle.

Vishleshana on Ashvamedha Yagjna from Brihadaranyaka Upanishad: I.i.1) Om/ Ushaa vaa ashwasya medhyasya shirah, Suruyaschakshuh Vaatah Praanah Vyaattaragnir- vaishwaanarah Samvatsara Atmaashwasya medhasya/ Dyouh prishtham Antarikshamudaram Prithivi paajasyam Dishah paarshve

Avaantardishah parshwah Rutavongaani Maasaashrthamaasascha parvaani ahoraatraani pratishthaah nakshatraanyasthaanaani Nabho maamsaani/ Uvadhyam sikataah sindhavo gudaah yakruccha klomaanascha parvataah Aoushadhyascha vanaspatayascha lomaani udyan purvaarthah, oshadhayascha vanaspatayascha lomaani,udyan purvaardhah nimlochan jaghanaardhah, yad vijrumbhate tad vidyotate, yad vidhunute tat stanayati yanmehati tad vasshati; vag evasyavaak/ (Om, while comparing an Ashwamedha or Horse Sacrifice to Nature, then Ushahkaala or the early dawn is comparable to its head, its breathing or life-force as Air, its eyes like Surya, its open mouth as Agni/ Fire or Vaishwanara and the body of the 'Ashwa' as comparable to a Year or better still the 'Kaalamaana' or the ime Cycle; its back as 'Swarga'; its belly like sky; its hoof like Earth; its sides like one fourths of a year; its limbs like the Seasons of a Year; its body bone joints like months and fortnights; its hooves like days and nights; its bones like Nakshatras or Stars; and its flesh like clouds. The Sacrificial horse's food in the stomach is like sand, its blood vesssels are river s, liver and spleen are comparable to mountains and the hairs like herbs and tree. The rising Surya is the horse's forepart while the hind part like the Sun set. The horse's yawns are comparable to lightings and its body shakes and shrieks are like thunders; its urination is like downpour rainfall and neighing is like sound waves!) (I.i.2) Aharvaa ashvam purastaan mahimaanvajaayata tasya purve samudre yonih, Ratriryenam paschan mahimaanvajaayata tasyaapare; Samudrayonih etauvaa ashwam mahimaananavabhitah samvabhuvatuh, Hayo bhutwaa Devaan avahat vaaji gandharvaan arvaasuraan ashvo manushyaan samudra evasya bandhuh samudro yonih/ (The dawn arises as the Swarna Kumbha or golden vessel -'Dipti Samanyat'-Mahiman appears in front of the Sacrificial Horse pointing out the day ahead and its origin is the Eastern Sea; at the dusk time or the evening the the Rajata Kumbha or the Silver Vessel is kept on the rear side of the horse pointing to the arrival of night; its source is the Western Sea. These two sacrificial vessels are kept on the front and rear sides of the Sacrificial Horse thus indicating the dawn and dusk. The context differs in respect of Horse Sacrifice: it is called Haya Medha in respect of Devas, Vaajina Medha for Gandharvas, Arva Medha for Asuras and Ashwa Medha for human beings. Indeed, Sea is the common relative for Devas, Gandharvas, Asuras and human beings alike!)

Sarga Five: From the ongoing Vaivaswa Manvantara till King Dasharatha to Shri Rama. Vishleshanas on Sagara Chakravarti to Bhagiratha; Ayodhya; Kingship duties

[Vishleshana of Sagara Chakravarti and Bhagiratha: Maha Bhagavata Purana is quoted:Harischandra and his wife displayed unprecedented determination and tenacity to uphold Virtue and Self-sacrifice. The Son Rohitasya was brought back to life and was made the King, while Harischandra and wife Chandramati were provided instant places in Heavens. Visvamitra helped to populate the Kingdom and set examples of Dharma and surrender to Almighty. Harischandra's lineage after his son, Rohitasya was followed by sons Haritha-Champa-Sudeva-Vijaya-Bharuka-Vakra-Bahuka and Sagara (Sa-Gara ie born with poison, as Bahuka's co-wives tried to poison the boy's mother). Emporer Sagara performed Asvamedha (Horse) Sacrifice and Indra hid the horse which was discovered by the unruly 60,000 sons of Sagara, nearby the place where Sage Kapila was practising Sankhaya Yoga and when disturbed badly, the Sage burnt all of them into ashes by his power. Sagara's son by another wife, Asamanjasa or Ansuman pursued the search of the Sacrificial Horse and found the Horse where Kapila was in meditation. Ansuman begged of the Sage about the where- abouts of his cousins and was informed that the hooligans were burnt to death and could be brought back to life only when washed by the River of Ganges which could only be brought down to Earth from the Skies. The Sacrifice of Horse having been performed by Sagara, Ansuman began

his devotion to Lord Siva to bring Ganges down to Earth. But neither he nor his father Dilipa could succeed in the mission. It was for **Bhagiradha** to purse the operation further. If Harishandra gave an eternal memory in truthfulness and integrity, a person of the same dynasity proved as a role model in tenacity. His life's mission was to bring Ganges down to Earth from Heavens. Bhagiradha's prayers were indeed granted by Mother Ganges to the devotee but warned him that the force of the flow from the Heavens to Earth could be withstood by no less than Lord Siva Himself! Bhagiradha never stopped his grand endeavour and worshipped Lord Siva with ausretity and purity who agreed, not only because of the sincerity with which the devotee desired to fulfill the long-standing family wish but also owing to the reason of Universal advantage. The Lord assumed a massive body and controlled the force of the River flowing from Lord Vishnu's feet and bore the brunt of the impact on His head in His 'Jatajut' or twisted hairs and released but a portion of the Holy River. Bhagiradha directed the fiery flow by riding a fast Chariot and brought it to the place where the ashes of his forefathers were purified and their souls liberated to Heavens. Till date, humanity continues to be grateful to him for the ever lasting memory of his gigantic efforts in our reaping the fruits of his labour in the huge land-mass covering entire 'Aryavarta' (Northern India)!]

[Vishleshana on Ayodhya: Ayodhya: Akaaro Brahmatah proktam Yakaaro Vishnuruchyate, Dhakaaro Rudra rupascha Ahodhyaanaama raajate/ Sarvopa Paatakairyuktair rahmahatyaadi paatakai, Na yodhyaa shaktate yasmaattaam ayodhyaam tato viduh/ (Skanda Purana, Vaishnava Khanda Ayodhyaa) Ayodhyaa is defined as 'A-kaara is Brahma, Ya-kaara is Vishnu and Dha-kaara is Rudra Swarupa; thus Ayodhya is a composite form of Tri Murthis. Maha Pataakas too are demolished by naming the Name of Ayodhya!) Valmiki Ramayana in Bala kaanda exclaims: Manunaa Maanavendrena saa Puri nirmitaa swayam/ (Manu confirms that he himself constructed Ayodhya himself!) In his opening introduction of Ayodhya Kaanda of Skanda Purana, Maha Muni Suta greets Bhagavan Shri Rama saying: Namaami Parama- atmanam Ramam rajiva lochanam, Atasikusuma shyamam Ravanaantaka mavyayam / (My greetings to Lord Shri Rama the Paramatma who is lotus eyed and of blue colour the terminator of the cruel and vily Ravanasura). Ayodhya puri is so sancrosanct that sinful beings could ever enter it, let alone reside there! From his right foot thumb emerged Ganga and Sarayu river got manifested from lelt foot thumb. That is why both the Rivers are Sacred and worthy of prostrations and bathing in these rivers is as effective as destroying Brahma hatya sin. Even before the Ayatara of Shri Rama, Ayodhya was the Capital of Surya Vamsha Kings of Ikshwaku; the latter was the son of Vaivashwata Manu and to this dynasty belonged to the illustrious Bhagiratha, Ambarisha, Nahusha, Yayati, Nabhaga, Ajan and Dasharatha. Skanda Purana in Vaishnava Khanda, Ayodhya Mahatmya gives the account of Veda Vijnana Vishnu Sharma whose severe Tapasya attracted Maha Vishnu darshana and the Pandita's request to him him the boon of constant Vishnu darshana; in turn Maha Vishnu instructed Sudarshana Chakra to dig up Bhumi and bring up Ganga from Patala Loka and the resultant Sacred Water flow was materialised as *Chakra* Tirtha. Earlier, Brahma himself resided at Ayodhya even before the incarnation of Shri Rama and hence the emergence of Brahma Kund. Brahma conveyed to Devas about the significance of this Tirtha -as given in Skanda Purana- would be such as that whoever performed formal snaana at the Kund and gave away daana would have been deemed as securing Ahwamedha yagna phala and blessed to fly as clad in Divya Vastras to Brahma Loka for residing there till the ensuing Pralaya. From Brahma kunda to the not too far Sarayu River is Runa Vimochana Tirtha where Muni Lomasha popularised specially among his followers who were delighted as the debts of one's very existence by way of births and deaths to parents and sons and the teacher, quite apart from the material debts of the current and past 'janmas' are cleared by snanas at the Tirtha. To the east of the Runa Vimochana Tirtha is the Paapa mochana Tirtha. Skanda

Purana narrates the story of Panchala desha Brahmana was Maha Paapi who became conscious of his heaping stocks of sins and casually heard the conversation of a Group of Sadhus visiting Ayodhya. He visited Paapa Vimochana Tirtha along with them and happened to bathe on a Maagha Krishna Chaturdashi and also performed daana karyas and he realised an unsual transformation in his psyche and was surprised to vision a Viman beckoning him and flew to Vishnu dhaam. Ahead of the glorious Paapa machana Tirtha is the Sahasra dhaara Tirtha which is known for demolishing all obstacles in life and overcoming enemies by mere snaana with faith and mental discipine. This indeed was the very Tirtha where after the close of the entire Ramayana, Lord Shri Rama instructed Lakshmana to bathe and by his own Mantra Shakti assume the Form of Adi Sesha! Actually, the background was that when Shri Ram who had once had an important visitor viz. Kaal Devata about which even Lakshman was unaware and instructed Lakshman not to enter and allow any visitor to enter either. Lakshman was faithfully guarding the entry of Rama Nivas by taking sincere rounds up and down the 'dwaar'. Meanwhile Maha Tapaswi Durvasa Maharshi who is noted for his short temper arrived and affectionately asked Lakshmana to let Ram inform of his arrival for Rama darshan. Lakshman being aware of Duravas's shaapa shakti alerted Rama of the Muni's arrival. With a view to protect his own Satya Vak Paripalana of Lakshman's disobedience despite his instruction, Rama had to resort to the extreme step of asking Lakshmana to perform Prana tyaga of Lakshmana. As Lakshmana took the form of Adisesha and visited Indra Loka even as the Sahasra Manis and their luster vanished, the lest the Tirtha place on Sarayu diminish significance, Indra and Devas arrived on the Spot ensured and in fact doubled its glory and sanctity and named it Sahasra Dhaara Tirtha and Lord Shri Rama blessed the title too for the benefit of posterity and Loka Kalyan. Swarga dwara dhaara: Skanda Purana further describes as follows: Every Tirtha darshana has one's own benefits yet Swaga dwara Tirtha has its own: Pratah kaala snana, japa-tapa-havanaupayasa-darshana-dhyana- daanas have their distinct results and those beings like the Chatur varna humans, mriga-pakshi-jala chara-krimi keetakaadi pranis happen to die at this Tirtha are qualified to direct access to Swarga and Vaikuntha dhaam. Bhagavan Vishnu in his Avatara Swarupas, especially of Shri Rama with his wife and brothers are stated at this Tirtha to select beings for their respective Punya Phalas and decide their 'nirnayas' based on their own past karmas overshadowing their contributions at the Swarga dwaar snaanas and punya karma mix. And so does the presence of Kailasha Vaasi along with Devi Parvati and their followers woul oversee the process of selection of Beings for the Higher Loka Prapti, asserts the Skanda Purana. Near Swarga dwaara is the Nageshwara nath Mandir; it is stated that originally this Murti was originally made of Kusha grass but later King Vikramadiyta resurrected and reestablished the Idol with Veda mantras in a move to revive several 'Praachina' or age old Mandirs in Ayodhya. Yatris perform Pinda daana at Swarga dwaar Ghat with great devotion and bhakti. Chandra Sahasra Tirtha where Chandra sahasra vrata Udyapana is performed as also Argha danas are done on every Purnima Tithis to Chandra-Rohini Devis. Swarna Tirtha where Maharshi Vishwamitra's sishya Koutsa Muni called on Raghu Rama once and said that he wished for so much of wealth which he desired to give to his Guru which Rama too might nor possess. Shri Rama thought for a while and requested the Muni to please stay back in his court of Ayodhya overnight. Then Shri Rama invited Kubera Deva to bring considerable gold and on receiving it gave it away to Koutsa Muni. Next morning, Rama gave away all the gold given by Kubera and kept up his word by redonating the same to the Muni and truly satisfied him. This Swarna Tirtha had thus attained a gold-bestowing reputation and fullfill the material desires of who ever performed worship by way of snaana- daana-Japas with utmost faith. One of Ayodhya's major Mandirs is Kanak Bhavan which is quite big and mention worthy whis was supposed to be of Shri Ram's 'antahpura' or the interior palace hall where Devi Sita resided too. (There are big sized Sita Rama Idols

seated on a throne together in the Mandir as also the idols of the very past which were however smaller. From Kanaka Bhavan away is the most famed Shri Rama Janma Sthaana which was stated to have been rebuilt as Masjid Babri; this Masjid which became the hot controversy was partially destroyed to make way for the original now albeit as a small make believe Mandir. Near to Rama Janma Sthaana are Sita Rasoyi or kitchen, Kopa bhavan or the Place where the love-fight Rama- Sita couple stayed; Ratna Simhasan or the Royal Throne made of jewels, Ananda Bhavan or the Palace of Joy, Ranga Mahal or the Hall of Music and Dance etc. The other Places worthy of visiting in Ayodhya's Sarayu River banks include Lakshman Ghat with a five feet Lakhmana Swami in the Mandir exclusively dedicated to him; Ahalya Ghat where Lord Rama is stated to have performed Yagna; Hanuman gadhi on an elevated sixty steps an Lord Hanuman in seated form; Darshaneshwar, Mani Parvat with Ashoka Stupa of broken 200 ft; Dantana Kund where Rama was stated to have had his mouth wash, where also Gautama Buddha, while in Ayodhya too rested. <u>Dasharatha</u> kund was the Place some few km. away on Sarayu River banks where King Dasharatha's 'Antya Dahana' was stated to have been performed. A mini- Parikrama of some 4 km around Ayodhya touches Ramaghat, Raghunadha Das gaddi, Sita kund, Agni Kund, Vidya kund, Mani Parvat, Kubera parvat, Sugriva parvat, Lakshman ghat, Swarga dwaar and back to Ram ghat. While no doubt Shri Rama Navami Celebrations on Chaitra Shukla Navami are famed for several days every year, Shravana ShuklaPaksha festivities and Sarayu River snaaas are considered as sacred, especially on Kartika Purnima)]

Vishleshana on Kingship Duties: A King is expected to be an earthly version of God, responsible for creating happiness and welfare, preserving security and prosperity and punishing the evil and disobedient. He is expected to set examples, without favour or fear. He should be above suspicion or indiscipline, promote competition and justice, encourage diligence and duty. His Coronation is a multi-splendered spectacle with elaborate Rituals ans Sacrifices, fun and fanfare, feasts and festivities and gifts and gratitudes to poor and unpriveleged. On taking over the Kingship, he makes a series of appointments and postings of Priminister and Ministers, Top Officials and Advisers and a whole lot of Workforce at various levels. A Military General has to be a Kshatriya or Brahmin, a Treasurer has to have keen knowledge of Jewels, a Charioteer should be an expert of horses& elephants as also an outstanding ability of conducting chariots with alacrity on the battle fields, Doctors of experience and proven merit, and likewise persons of outstanding ability in each and every discipline and tested loyalty to the King and the Court. Each official of any level has to be well behaved, honest, diligent and above all types of temptations. There has to a completely decentralised system of Governance, within a well- set and publicly announced framework of Rules and there could never be an exception unless with the approval of the King who makes the Law or its Interpretation. There has to be a strong and widespread network of espionage and surveillance to the grass root levels to protect the interests of the Kingdom, the King, Officials and law-abiding citizens. Criminals are severely punished and Loyalists are assured of peaceful existence. The course of Law is not only just and swift but also should look to be convincing, transparent and unambiguous. The fiscal and monetary policy of the Government should also be uniform, impartial and well defined. Taxes are fixed as per the Sacred Texts and the process of tax collection has to be smooth, timely and automatic. Defaulters or protesters have to get opporunities to approach the Concerned Officials. Property Rights are also to be well defined, especially in respect of the poor, women, children, orphans and disabled and regular courts of civil and criminal cases are to be dealt with within approved time frames. There are various techniques used to let the offenders make confessions, the most significant ones being, 'Sama' (persuasion), 'Dana' (Gifting), 'Bheda' (divide interests), 'Danda' (punish), 'Maya' (Decieve or create make-believe situation), 'upeksha' (ingore) and 'mayajal' (jugglery). Punishments accorded to offenders not only punitive but more than that they serve as examples to ensure that others perpetrate similar offences. For example, a thief who steals Gold or Jewellery has his hands cut. A Brahman who provides wrong or misleading witness would be banished from the Kingdom. In case anybody kills cows, horses, elephants or camels would be summarily executed. Cases of abduction of a

woman, or of poisoning, arson too attract execution. Disloyalty by a woman to husband or vice versa have their facial parts cut, torn by dogs and paraded in public.(*Manu Smriti*)

Sarga Fourteen: Ashva medha yagjna performed gloriously

<u>Visleshanas on: Homa kunda- bhojanas of bhakshya-bhojya-lehya- choshya- paneeyaas; Ritviks</u> of yagjna;

Vishleshana on Ritviks: Homa Kunda [Taittireeya Aaranyaka: Construction of Homa Kunda: As the norhern side altar, a knee deep pit be dug up filled with water up to the ankle as covered with lotus leaves, stalks and lotus flowers. There on flat platform be devised and Agni is placed. Then the Brahmavaadis notionally raise questions: Why this Agni is stated to be 'pranite' or revered and 'chiyate' or gathered togeher! The replies re given: Agni is revered as placed waters; Agni is gatherd asit is called 'Ahitaagni' the one fostering auspicious -ness as also to safe guard the trilokas with celestial mobility. There is another type of 'abhitaani' or stationary Fire especially due to the concern of water sprinkles and also to protect 'abhishikta' deities. This procedure termed 'Arunaketuka'is stated common to yagina varieties such as 'Agnihotra- Darsha purnaamaasa-Pashubandhana and Chaturmasya; these applications are practised with yaginas or more appropriately the Yagia kratus. Shandika Maharshi when raises a question as to which kind of Agni's worship is commended; the reply obviously states that such yagina karya as yields advantages all through the year as termed as 'Saatvitram Agni' apparently targetting Surya Deva and even beyond. Indeed the universe is full of water and nothing else and Prajapati emerged on a lotus leaf with a unique wish. As a thought appeared on his mental retina, that thought got converted as a speech; tad vaachaa vadati, tatkarmanakaroti or once the speech emerges, then that leads to action; then that action symbolises a Veda Mantra! Initially thus a desire led to mind. The primary thought blossomed as the flower of reality. Rig Veda vide 10.129.4 is aptly quoted: Kaamastadagre samayartataadhi manaso retah prathamam yadaaseet / sato bandhusati nirayindann | hrudi prateeshyaa kavayo maneesheti/ or right at the very beginning of Virat Swarupa had the wish to manifest 'Srishti' and that thought like a 'beeja srijana saamardhya' or the ability to generate the seed was caused. Once the unique thought of a highly personified knowledge occurs then that intense thought takes the form of Reality! It is said that Sages have the impulse of mind which leads to fruition. This very Vedic Triplet of 'hridaa-manasaa-maneesha' is confirmed vide Rig Veda I.61.2 : Asmaaidu praya iva prayaami bharaamyangyusham baadh suvritti, Indraaya hridaa manasaa maneesahaa pratnaaya dhiyo marjayanta/ or we offer a limited 'havishya samaana stotra' as an ideal chant for 'sharu vinaashana'; Rishi ganas offer sacred stotras by way of hridaya-manas-buddhi!Consequent on the desire to undertake creation, Prajapati having performed tapas, shook off his body and a small mass of flesh got generated and three Maharshis appeared viz. Aruna-Ketavah-Vaaarashana and stood up. From His long nails appeared Vaikhaanasa; from His long hairs or 'Vaalaas' emerged Vaalakhilyaas from whose essence water got generated. There after from the waters, kurma or tortoise crawled therein. Prajapati addressed the kurma: have you emerged from my 'twang' or skin and 'maamsa' or flesh. Kurma replied in the negative and said that even in the ancient times, that the concept of 'Purushatwam' or virility of the universe accomplished its existence; the tortoise then assumed thousand heads and thousand eyes; the thousand eyes flashed from the waters. Then the Creator Prajapati exclaimed: Tamabraveet | tvam vai poorvagm samabhoohu | tvamidam poorvah kurushveti | or 'indeed, you were born well before I came nto existence; since you were the first, you created the universe well before me! Having confessed thus the Virat Purusha picked water from the primordial ocean from his hands and deposited a fistful water towards the easterly direction uttering the mantra 'evaa hyeva'! Tat Aditya udtishthat, saa praachee dik/

Aditya then stood uptowards the easterly direction; Arunaketu Deva then deposited water in the southern direction pronouncing the mantra: 'evaa hy vagna' when Arunaketu Agni manifested. Then Arunaketu offered firstful of water to the western direction with the mantra 'eaahi vaayu' and Vayu Deva manifested upwards from the ocean. Then Arunaketu Deva offered water in the northern direction with the mantra 'evaahi Indra' and Indra Deva manifested. As Arunaketu offered to the 'Antariksha' with the mantra 'evaahi Pushan' and the Antariksha Devata Pushan manifested. Arunaketu further deposited water into the space stating 'eaahi deva' then 'Deva manushyaa Pitarah Gandharva apsarasas' got manifested. Further on, waterdrops were sprinkled by the Virat Prusha and the waters fell down: 'taabhyo~suraa rakshaagmsi pishaachaashchodatishann | tasmaatte paraabhayann | viprudbhyo hi te samabhayann' or there got manifested asuras, raakshasaas, pishachis and were defeated and destroyed subsequently. Then the waters enveloped the mighty womb and Swayambhu Manu . Rig Veda vide 10.121.7 states: Apo ha vadbrihareer vishvamaayangarbha dadhaanaa janayantiragnim, tato Devataanaam samayarta taasurekah kasmai Devaaya havishaa vidhema/ or even before srishti, a massive form of water or the 'Mula Kriyaasheela Tatwa' got overshadowed; this got conceived as a 'garbha' and from there emerged Agni-Akaasha and there followed the primeform of Praana the Vital Energy which was worshipped with unanimity nd utter sincerity! From the waters in mass or in smaller units got created and so did the Celestial Swarupa of Pajapati on his own as 'atmaana aatmaanam' as Self Created. Thus Prajapati the Self Generated, created the worlds, all the Beings, Directions, Intermediate Lokas, and so on.He enters within every Being, every feature and facet, within-without, inside and outside out, comprehensively and intrinsically. Indeed He is omni-present, omni potent and omni-scient!125.1-9:Preparation of Homa Kunda: The preparation of the homakunda or the Fire Altar arranged in the northern direction as dug up knee deep and filled with water. On the top of the altar are lotus leaves spread over and the 'Hiranya Purusha' installed; Tapo vai pushkaraparnam satyagmrukmaha amrutam purushaha, etaavadvaa vaasti yaavadetat yaavadevasti tadavarundhe / The lotus leaf is the tapo vedi; Satya or the personification of Truth as the 'rukma' or the golden shine- and Amritam or Immortality; indeed the divine combination is of 'satyam-rukma-amritam'. He next step is to instal Kurma the Sacred Tortoise which indeed is the 'medha' or the essense of water asstated to have been derived from Swarga; Kurma is the Supreme Purusha existent well before Prajapati the 'karta of srishti' or chief of Creation. Now the prayer of the Karta of the agina: May we secure continuous flows of water by the help of 'Tisra Paramaja' Agni, Vayu, Bhaskara. Thereafter, let this Homa Kunda be filled in by the powers concerned. Lat the powers represented by the bricks at the Homa Kunda be enhanced by the mantra of *Indra ghosha vasubhih*.. The Yagina karta may then prepare five compartments or sections each with Agni in 'pancha chitayh' or five layers decorated by special things like Yavan et.c. The worshipper then places five lotus flowers in each compartment representing 'Panchaagnis' viz. Aahavaniya, Gaarhapatya, Dakshina, Sabhya, and Vasatya. Now the second brick named 'lokaprana' or the large brick named Virat of five feet representing bhumi, antariksha, swarga; dishas or directions, and 'paroraja' or what is beyond swarga; the space fillings are of ' loka praana'. ya etamagninchinute / ya uchainamevam veda / or He who worships Agni Deva illuminates like the Viraja or the Emperor!]

There were maganimous <u>bhojanas of bhakshya-bhojya-lehya- choshya- paneeyaas [Pancha Bhakshya or</u> fried and other savoury or sweet food items, Bhojya basic eatables like cereals, Lehya or those consumed with the use of tongue, choshya or consumed by using lips and paaneeyas or drinklables] daily in separate halls as per varnas of Brahmana-Kshatriya- Vaishya-Service classes and of respective sex. The elderly- youth-child of men and women besides of disabled or ill persons were served and ever contented. *Deeyatam deyataamannam vaasaamsi vividhaanicha, iti sanchoditastra tathaa chakuraneshah*/ The

watch words among the invitees as pronounced loud and clear often declared by the volunteers of the kingdom's 'annashalaas' were: Take the Food and Take New Clothes! The freshly cooked food, especially the cereals were of the magnitudes of mountain heaps! All the populace as the guests of the vagina coming from far and near were of uniform vioce of total contentment and happiness. There were several voluntary groups of Brahmanas performing recitations of 'vedamantras' attracted by the mesmerised audiences. In fact there were 'sadasyas' of the contingent of panditas engaged in the yagina karmas were such as not all round erudites, veda vyakarana -adi panditas, brahmacharya paalakaas and 'bahushrutas' or experts in more than one vedas, besides being 'tarka-meemaamsa pravenas'. In the formal yagina in progress, there arrived a time for tying six sturdy and standing bulls to be tied to firmly fixed wooden polesticks on earth. The strong poles be preferebly made of devadar wood. These should be six some with twenty one clothings dressed up and arranged in in six rows firmly. The work force needed to be well trained and the hardening of the erectnes of the poles, tying the clothings and their presentable uniformity of cloth, colour and design pattern. The poles should be 504 inches height with eight angled each and the overall presentability be smoothening to the objective looks. The designed and colored clothing on the polls be scented with 'pushpa chandanas' in worship and looked up in an areal mannerwould look awesome to the celestials above. Now, the bricks arranged on the yaginavedi were sprinkled with mantras by brahmana panditas and placed inside the 'agni kunda' by the King. The emerging 'Agni jvaalaas' gradually pick up speed and wide spread by way of convection, conduction and radiation in eighteen directions. Further, the polls as arranged are stated to bundle up with tree hundred each of pashu-pakshi-sarpas as having been under the control of various Devas and thus get subdued. Meanwhile, Patta Mahishi or the Prime Queen Devi Koushalya already seated with the King would be requested to sprinkle sacred waters on the Horses for the sacrifice as also on the three swords of length and sharpness and touch them. Then she would spend the entire night beside the sacrifitial horses at the 'Ashva shaala' voluntarily in the name and glory of 'dharma'. Then Hotaardharvyustathathod graataa hastena samayojayan, mahishyaa parivritthhaaya vaavaataamparaam tathaa/ Subsequently, the priests named hota-adharvyu and Udgaataa joined their hands together on the sacrificilal horse. Vishneshana on the Ritviks of Yagina: The main priests of Yagina Karyas are the Hota who recites the invocations especially of Rigveda; Athavyu is responsible for the physical and material details of the yagjna and an erudite of Yajurveda; Udgaata is the chief chanter of the suktas and specialist Saama Gaana and responsible for pressing the Soma juice. Besides these are Brahmanas as Agneedhi and Prashastar, besides Purohita of course. Thereafter, the private part of the Horse for the Sacrifice is burnt and the specified body parts of the animal are sacrificed in the flames of Agni Deva along with the recitation of the relevant chants in chorus. As per the Kalpa Sutra, the duration of Ashvameda yagina comprises three phases; on the first day the phase comprises Chatushtoma or Agnishtoma. The second phase on the following day is called Ukthya and third phase in the final day is named

<u>Atiraatra.</u> *Jyitishthomaayusheechaiva atiraatrou cha nirmitou, abhijid vishv ajit chaivamaaptoryaamou maha kratuh*/

Maha Kratus are considered as Jyotishthoma, Aayush homa, Ari raatraas twice over, Abhijit the fifth, Vishvajit the sixth, Aaptyoryaamas as the Maha Kratu as the substitutes in times thereafter the relevance of Ashvamedha Yajgna. After the successful execution of the Ashvamedha Yagjna, King Dasharatha donated away the eastern part of Ayodhya to the Hota, the northen portion to Udgaata, the southern part to Brahma and thus his empire. Then, the Rikvikas stated that instead of giving away the territiries of the land, the King be pleased to donate them: Maniratnam suvarnam vaa gaavo yadvaa samudyatam, tat prayacchha nrip shreshtha dharanyaa na prayojanam/ Narashreshtha! You might as

well donate to us Mani- Ratna-Suvanas or Cows and such precious materials and what avail could be the territories of land to us! Then Dashartha entrusted the task of distribution of ten lakh cows, crores of gold mudras and four time more of silver mudras for distribution. The totality of the Brahman hood then blessed the unique King who had successfully perfomed the Maha Yagjna stating: *Bhavishyanti sutaa raajaschatvaaraste kulodvaahah*/ You should be blessed with foursome capable sons of everlasting virtue and glory!

Sarga Fifteen : Putra Kaamekshi Yagjna- Celestials preparing for arrival of Maha Purusha Vishleshana: Putra Kamekshti from Dharma Sindhu.

[Vishleshana on Putra Kameshthi Yagjna vide 'Dharma Sindhu': Putra Kaameshti Yagna: Agni-Homaas aiming at the birth of a son. On the sixth day after the menses of his wife, the Karta as 'Sa Bharya' settles after Abhyangana and Pranayaamas and intiates Sankalpa of Putra Kaamah Putra Kaameshthim karishye followed by Swasti Vaachanaas, Naandi Shraaddha and Agni Pratishtha initiated with the Mantra: Chakshuhi Aajyenaatra pradhaanam, Agnim Pancha Vaaram Varunam Pancha Vaaram Vishnum Prithivim Vishnum Somam Suryaa Saaitreem paayasena sheshena swishta kritam/ ie. by the Aajyaas or offerings of 'Payasa' to the Main Agni five times, to Varuna five times and to Vishnu Prithivi, Vishnu Soma, Surya and Savitri and perform Swishta kruta and so on. During the 'nirvapapana' or the interval/ inactive time, silently cook 'charu' (ghee, milk of white cow with white calf and grains) and place sixty fistfulls of Rupaas at the Yaajya bhaaga and make Pancha dashaahutis (fifteen oblations) to Agni with the following Mantras: Om Aatey Garbho yonimaitu punaanbaana ivaishudhim, Aaveero jaayataam putrastey dashamaasyah swaahaa/ <u>Agnaya</u> idam namah/Karomitey praajaapatyamaa garbho yonimaitutey, Anunah putro jaayataamashlono pishaacha dheeta swaahaa/ Agnim idam namah/Pumaamstey putro naastim pumaananujaayataam, Taani bhadraani beejaanrushabha jayantunou swaaha/ Idam namah/ Agnayah/Yaani bhadraani beejaanrushabhaa janayantinah, Taistwam putraanvidaswa saa prasudhenukaa bhava swaahaa/ Agnayah idamnamah/Kaamahssamrudbhyataam mahdyamaparaajitameva mey, Yam kaamam kaamaye Devatam me vaayo samarthaya swaahaa /Agnayam idam namah/Agniraitu prathamo Devataanaam Sosyai Prajaam munchatu Mrityu paashaat, Tadayam Raajaa Varunonumayataam yatheyam Streepoutramagham na rodaatswaahaa/ Varunaayedam/Imaamagnistraayataam Gaarhapatyah Prajaamasyai nayatu deerghamaayuh, Ashunyopasthaa jeevataasmatu Maataa poutra maanandamabhi prabuddhyataamiyam swaahaa/ Varunaayedam/Maatey gruhe nishi ghosha uttaadanyatra twadyabhyutyah samvishantu, Maatwam vikeshyura Aavadhishtaa jeevapatni Patilokey, Viraaja pashyanti Prajaah sumanasyamaanaa swaahaa/ Varunayedam/Aprajastaam poutra mrityum paapmaanamrutamaagham, Sheershanah srajamivonmuchyadvisha dabhayah pratimunchami paasham swaahaa/ Varunayedam /Devakrutam Brahmanam kalpamaanam tena hanmiyonishadah pishaachaan/ Kravyaado mrityuna gharaanpaatayaami deerghaayustwa jeevantu putraah swaahaa/ Varunaayedam/Nejamesheti tisrunaam Vishnustwashtaa garbha kartaa Vishnu prithiviVishnuyonanushthup, Nneja mesham, Vishnuva, yatheyam prithivi, prithivya vishnu sreshthena, vishnuva, Somo dhenum Raahugano Gautamah Somastrishthup/ Somo dhenum, Somayedam, Ttaam Pushan Suryaa Saavitri trishthup, Paayasa charu homeyvi, Taam Pushacchiva/ (Thus Fifteen Homaas are required to be done with the above detailed Mula Mantraas viz: Aatey garbho-- Karomi tey-Pumaastey Putro-Yaani bhadraani- Kaamah samudbhavataam-Agniretu-Imaamagnisrtaayataam-Maa tey gruhye-Aprajastaam-Deva kutam Braahmanam-Nejamesha-Yatheyam Prithivi- Vishno sreshthena-Somam dhenu-Taam Pushan- Taam Pushacchiva). After the Aahutis, Swishtakruta homa etc. are performed and the Bharta should touch the Patni's 'naabhi' and complete the Putra Kameshti with Go daana and Bhojana Dakshinaas to Brahmanas as they sleep in the night on darbha mats on the ground.]

Sarga Seventeen: As Rama-Lakshmana-Bharata-Shatrugnas were born thus, Indra and Devas manifested 'Vaanaraas' including Hanuman with Ashta Siddhis. <u>Visleshnana on Ashta siddhis</u>.

[Vishleshana on Ashta Siddhis: or Supernatural Powers are <u>Anima</u> or the ability of miniaturising oneself; <u>Mahima</u> is turning one self giant like; <u>Laghima</u> is the capacity to get oneself unusually light; <u>Garima</u> is to make the Self too gross and heavy; <u>Prapti</u> is to achieve any kind of mental desire; <u>Prakamya</u> or providing fulfillment of other's wishes; <u>Vashitwa</u> or capacity to control any other Party; <u>Ishitwa</u> or fully dominating over others as wished. Among many other Siddhis include <u>Para Kaaya Pravesha</u> or totally entering other's body and even Soul; <u>Doora Shravana</u> or distant hearing, <u>Doora Darshana</u> or Distant Vision or ability to see things or actions any where from other places; <u>Manojavam</u> or reaching a place as fast as a thought as also thought reading; <u>Kamarupa</u> or assuming the physical form of another Being-be it a moving species or an immobile like a mountain etc; <u>Swacchanda Maranam</u> or the gift to die at one's own wish; <u>Deva Saha Kreeda Anudarshanam</u> or the gift to view Deva Devis playing among themselves; <u>Yatha Sankalpa Siddhi</u> or accomplishing any thing by a mere thought; and so on.]

Sarga Eighteen: Dasharatha distributes 'payasa' to queens Koushalya-Sumitra- Kaikeyi Samskararas to Ramaadi Kumaras; <u>Vishleshana on Star-wise birth results; Naama karana- Janmaadi Samskaras; Dolarohana - dugdha paana- jalapuja- Suryaavalokana- nishkramana- Anna Praashana - 'Dhanurveda' (The Science of Archery and Weaponry) and Rules of Battle; Lakshmana the manifestation of Adi Shesha;</u>

Vishleshana on Nakshatra Phala (Star-wise birth results): Readings as per Nakshatra (Star)-wise birth of various human beings were narrated by Sanandana Maharshi to Narada Muni as follows: Those born in Ashwini are handsome and fond of wearing ornaments. Bharani-born are capable to perform and speak truthfully. Krittika-born tends to eatless, steady-minded, and conversational but have soft corner for other women. Rohini born are wealthy, Mrigashitaites are luxurious; Ardra-born violent, stubborn and criminal-minded; *Punarvasu* born are even-minded, and well behaved but suffer bad health; Persons born in Pushya Nakshatra are imaginative like Poets and are happy-go-lucky. Those persons who are born in Aslesha are rude, obstinate, ungrateful, low-minded and uncouth. Magha born are rich, devoted and happy. If born in *Purva Phalguni*, the persons are charitable, adjustable, sociable and conversationalists. Born of Uttara Phalguni are wealthy and comfortable. Hasta born are shameless, mean-minded and crooks. Persons born in *Chitra* are well dressed, beautiful and charming. *Swati* born are virtuous, moralistic, kind hearted and charitable. Vishakhaites are greedy, deceptive, cunning and harsh. Born of Anuradha, the persons are fond of travel and non-resident. Jyeshtha born are principled and contented. Persons born in Mula Nakshatra are wealthy, happy and helpful. If born of Purvashadha and Uttarashadha, the persons concerned are happy- go- lucky and hearty /disciplined and virtuous respectively. Shravanites are rich, happy and famous; while born of Dhanishta, the persons concerned are donors, wealthy and courageous. A person born of Shatabhisha, the persons win over opponents but are susceptible of bad practices. Born of Purvabhadra, the persons concerned are heavily prone to feminine influence and rich; while *Uttrabhadraites* are independent, assertive, speech-makers, attractive and joyful. Finally, those born in *Revati* are energetic, enterprising, rich and pure-hearted. Meshaadi Chandra Raashi Janma Phala: Those born in Mesha Raashi are passionate, enterprising and grateful; Vrisha Raasi: Charming, charity-minded and tolerant; Mithun Raashai: Comfort-loving and diplomatic; Karka Raashi: Controlled by opposite sex and short statured; Simha Raashi: Egoistic, enterprising, stable-minded and comfort-oriented; Kanya Raashi: Soft-natured, virtuous and wellmeaning; Tula Raashi: Learned, broad-minded and wealthy; Vrischika Raashi: Loka Pujya, unhealthy

and injury-prone; *Dhanu Raashi*: Poets, Architects, Artistic and wealthy; *Makara Raashi*: Unenthusiastic

to perform, wasteful, vagabond but attractive; *Kumbha Raashi:* Desirous of possesing 'Para Stree' and 'Para Dhan'; and *Meena Raashi:* Artistic, dreamy and easy-loving.] Source: Narada Purana Visleshana on Naama karana vide Dharma Sindhu:

Nama karana: On the eleventh or twelfth day of the child's birth. Namakarana is required to be performed. Some say that although 'Ashoucha' continues upto the tenth day of the birth, Nama Karana might as well be performed on that day itself. To Kshatriyas this function needs to be done on the thirteenth or the sixteenth day; to Vaishyas on the sixteenth or the twentieth day and to Shudras on twenty second or the month-end. However, in the 'Mukhya Kaala' on the birthday of the child, it is stated that there is no deed for specially ascertaining the Punya Tithi Nakshatraas for the Nama karana if done on the 'Mukhya Kaala' or the day of the birth although the Gouna Kala or the time of birth would need be examined from the angle of Yoga since one should avoid the Vaidhruti-Vyateepaata Sankranti Grahanas, Amavasya etc. If not possible to perform the Namakarana in the Mukhya kaala, then the Propitious timings are on Tithis barring Chaturthi, Shashthi, Ashtami, Navami, Dwadashi, Chaturdashi and Purnima; Soma, Bhdha, Guru and Shukra Vaaraas are suitable; Ashwini, Uttara, Uttaraashaadha, Uttaraabhadra, Rohini, Mrigasirsha, Punarvasu, Pushya, Hasta, Swaati, Anuraadha, Shravana, Dhanishtha, Shatabhisha and Revati are good; Vrishabha, Simha and Vrischika Lagnaas are good. Now there could be four kinds of names that are ascribed to a child: Devataa naamaas are as per Ishta Devas; second alternative is on the basis of Maasaas as illustrated as follows: Chaitraadi maasa naaaani Vaikunthodha Janardanah Upendro Yagna Purusho Vaasudevastathaa Harih Yogishah Pundarikaakshah Krishnonantochyuta stathaa Chakreeti Dwaadashaitaani Naamaani kramaadaahurmaniishinah/ (All these names are on the basis of Chandramaana). The third criterion is as per Nakshatraasas in : Ashvayuk, Aapabharanah, Kartikah, Rouhinah, Margasirshah, Ardrakah, Punarvasu, Tishyah, Aasleshah, Maghah, Purvaaphalgunah, Uttaraaphagunah, Hastah, Chaitrah, Swaatihi, Vashaakhah, Anuraadhah, Jyaishthah, Moolakah, Purvaashaadhah, Uttaraashaadhah, Abhijitah, Shraavanah, Shravishthah, Shata bhishak, Pooravaa – Proushtha paadah, Utaraa proushthakpadah, and Raivatah/ As per Jyotisha Grandhaas the names could be on the lines of 'chu-che-cho-la Ashwiniproktaa'' like Chelesha, Cholesha or Lakshmana starting with the name of the Nakshatra. But Shrouta Granhaas are not in agreement to this method. Shaankhaayanaas follow the method of naming the boys on the basis for Nakshatra in another way: like those born in Krittika are named as Agni Sharma. The four method is of Vyaavahaarika use or socialised version. For boys the name might contain 'Samaakshara' or of even number like of the second, fourth, six letters and for girls odd-number names. Normally the words like Sharma-Shastri are suffixed to Brahmana boys or Varmas in the case of Kshartiyas, Guptaas in reference to Vaishyas and Daasaa for Shudras. Even if the earlier Samskaaraas like Garbhaa dhaana, Pumsavana, Seemanta, Paada Kruccha, Artha Krucchaadi were not performed earlier, the 'parihaara prayaschitta homas' and 'pratyaamnaaya daanaas' be executed and make the Sankalpa of Namakarana vidhaana: Asya Kumaarasyaayurabhi vriddhi dwaaraa vyavahaara siddhi beeja garbha samudbhavaino nibarhana dwaaraa Shri Parameshwara preetyartham Naama karmka cha tantrena karishye/--Then the Swasti Vaachanaas would be recited: Jaatakarma naama karmanoh Punyaaham bhavanto bruvantu/--Asya Kumarasya Jaata karmaney yetannaamney cha Swasti bhavanto bruvantu/ Then Brahmanas would write down on rice grains in a silver plate the Vyavaharika Naama of the son which the father would announce to the invitees audibly and clearly followed by other formalities including Mangala Geetas, Brahmana Dakshinas and Bhojanaas.]

Teshaam janmakriyaadeebi sarva karmaanya kaarayat, teshaam keturiva jyeshtho Ramo ritikarah pituh/Maharshi Vasishtha had performed various 'samskaaraas' at the appropriate timings of days, months and years.

Vishleshana on Janmaadi Samskaras:

[Dolarohana or Anadolaa Shayana- dugdha paana- jalapuja- Suuryaavalokana- nishkramana- Anna Praashana [by seating the child on the mother's lap and slowly administering the 'Paayasa' made of ghee, honey, milk and curd mix (without jaggery) from a gold or bronze vessel by hand with a gold ornament like a ring along with appropriate Mantras. After the Anna Prashana the child is left free to crawl towards a nearby destination where attractive and courful Vastras, ornaments, books, knife, pen and so on so that the first thing that he or she would get attracted to and touch or grab would decide as to what would be in his or her life ahead; Agratodha parinyasya Shilpa Vastuuni Sarvashah Shastraani chaiva Vastraani tatah pashyettu Lakshanam/Prathamam yatsrusheyd baalah Pustakaadi Swayam tadaa, Jeevikaatasya Baalasya tey naiva tu bhavishyati/]- Karna Vedha or piercing the ear lobes by a golden needle to Kshatriyas as against silver to Brahmanas - Drishthi dosha nivritta rakshaa vidhi or to overcome evil looks with the mantra: Praatassangava Madhyaahna Saayaahneshu cha Sandhyayoh, Mahaa nishi Sadaa raksha Kamsaarishtha nishudana/ Yadgorajah Pishaachaamcha Grahaan Maatru grahaanapi, Bala grahaanvisheshena chindhi chindhi Mahaa bhayaan/ Traahi traahi Harey nityam twadrakshaa bhushitam Shubham/ (Do protect my child from evil looks and provide shield to my child in the mornings, afternoons, evenings and nights; do safeguard my child from cruel animals, serpents, pishachaas, Grahas, Matru Grahas, Maha Bhayanaka Bal Grahas, and demolish all such Evil Spirits and Forces; do also those provide Raksha to all who provide guard to my the defenders of my child!) -Choodaa Karana to be accomplished either from the first to five years after the birth of the child say at the Prathama Kesha Khandana on completion the first year upto the Samskaaraas of Upanayana depending on the family traditions and one's own convenience, preferably. Maagha-Phalguna-Vaishakha-Jyeshtha Months during Shukla Paksha-Vidyarambha or Initiation of Aksharaabhyasa is best performed in the 'Uttaraayana' of the fifth year of the child when Surya is not in Kumbha Raashi. Shukla Paksha is suitable; even Krishna Paksha is agreeable barring the last three Tithis. Dwiteeya, Triteeya, Panchami, Dashami, Ekadashi and Trayodashi are auspicious. Ashwini, Mrigaseesha, Ardra, Punarvasu, Pushya, Hasta, Chitra, Swaati, Anuradha, Shravana, Dhanishtha, Shatabhishak, and Revati are appropriate to reciteOm Namah Siddhamiti Akaaraadikshakaaraantaan varnaascha vilikhya sampujya praangmukham krutwaa Aksharaani trivaaram vaachayitwaa Vidyaarambham kaarayet/ - <u>Upanayana:</u> Garbhashtameshu brahmanamupanayeeta, Garbhekaada sheshu Raajanyam, garbha dvadasheshu Vaisyam, Vasanto greeshmah sharadityutsavo varnaanu purvenu iti/(Apastamba Sutra states that upanayana be performed by the eighth year to Brahmanas, eleventh year to Kshatriyas and twelfth year to Vaishyas; the suitable Seasons for performing Upanayana are Vasanta, Greeshma and Sharad Seasons repectively)] Sarve vedavidah Shuraah sarve loka hito rataah, sarvajnaanopa sampannaah sarve samuditaa gunaih/ Teshaamapi maha tejaa **Ramah** satyaparaakramah, ishtah sarvasya lokasya shashana ivs nirmalah/ Gaja skandheshva pushthe cha rathacharyaasu sammatah, dhanudvedi cha niratah piruh shushrune ratah/ As King Dasharatha was heartily delighted that his eldest son Shri Rama had blossomed as Veda Dharma Vidwaan and also a 'Parama Veera Shura' a mighty person of bravery and glory, besides displaying qualities 'pro bono publico' or of enormous public welfare. He was indeed like an untarnished full moon. He could ride on an elephant top with grace and self confidence or ride on a speedy horse with the same ease as an intrepid warrior. He was an ardent son following the basic principle of 'pitru vakya

parapalata' or true follower of what the father's word of wish would in spirit and will. On top of all these attributes of glory, Rama was a champion of <u>Dhanur Vidya</u>.

Vishleshana on 'Dhanurveda' (The Science of Archery and Weaponry) and Rules of Battle:

'Dhanurveda' or the knowledge of Archery and Weaponry is an important aspect covered in Agni Purana. Mainly five categories of weaponry are stated to have been used in the days of yore, viz. 'Yantramukta' launched from Yantra (machinery/engines), including arrows released from bows; 'Pani Mukta' or thrown by hands, like stones or spears; 'mukta sandharita' ie. flung or withdrawn by hands; the weapons like swords invariably used by hands; and 'amukta' used by brute force such as duels/wrestling. The use of bow and arrows is an art by itself: the bow ('dhanush') with a tightly fitted strong string, making an arch form and the arrow drawn back as far as possible to be released while chanting a prayer to the respective Gods like 'Agni' (Fire), 'Vayu' (Wind), 'Indra' (Chief of Devas), 'Varuna' (God of Rain), Serpent ('Naga') etc. appropriate to an occasion. The opponent would naturally retalliate and the initiator should have the knowledge to anticipate an opposite action and the fight keeps going depending the tolerance and attacking power of an archer. In addition to the set of bows and arrows, a warrior is also equipped with an arrow-hive to store the arrows to be hung behind in the back, armoury protecting the chest, neck, hands, legs, feet, groins, back and of course the head, a belt to accommodate a sword, a dagger, a noose, a mace, an iron chain, and most of all a shield. The charioteer, the horses and a strong chariot are to be suitably equipped too. The art of handling each item of defence and offence to one's own advantage is an integral part of 'Dhanurveda' training and skill management, which alone is the answer for the success of the battle discipline.

Vishleshana on Lakshmana the manifestation of Adi Shesha: Adi Shasha was the first born to Kasahyapa Maharshi and Devi Kadru, followed by Vaasuki- Airavata-Takshaka and thereafter the sarpa generation of Iravata, Mahapadma, Kambala, Ashwatara, Shankha, Karkotaka, Dhananjaya, Kaliya and so on. As most of Shesha's younger brothers were cruel bent upon harming other beings, especially the cousin brothers like Garuda, Shesha was disgusted by the cruel took to austere penances, lived on air and meditated in places including Gandhamadhana, Badrikashrama, Gokarna, Pushkara and Himalayas. His penances were so severe that his flesh, skin and muscles dried up and became skeletal. Lord Brahma was pleased andblessed as Shesha requested Brahma to let his mind under control for ever. Brahma then instructed to go beneath the unstable earth and stabilize it. Shesha agreed and went to the netherworld and stabilized earth with his hood. Shesha is also depicted with a massive form that floats coiled in space on Ksheera Saagara as the bed on which Maha Vishnu lies as of thousand hoods each ormented with glittering precious crowns.

Sargas Nineteen-Twenty-Twenty One: Arrival of Brahmarshi Vishvamitra at Ayodhya to King Dasharatha. <u>Vishleshanas: Brahmarshi Vishvamitra: 1. Gayatri Mantra- Vishvamitra and Harischandra-Vishvamitra and Vasishtha as their rivalry leads to be birds-</u>

Vishleshava on Brahmarshi Vishvamitra:

- 1. Gayatri Mantra: Thrice a day dvijas are expected to perform Gayatri Mantra and during the Invocatory and Viniyogas or attributions of Gayatri / Shiro Mantras state: *Tatsavituriti Vishwamitra Rishih Gayatri chaandah Savitaa Devataa Apojyotiriti Sirasah Pajapatirishi yajuschhando BrahmagniVaayu Suryaa Devataah*/ Brahmarshi 'Vishva Mitra' credited as the unique reviver of Gayatri Mantra vide Rigveda's third mandala.
- 2. Origin of Vishvamitra:In the days of yore, Sage Bhrigu's son Maha Muni Rucheek was on 'Tirtha Yatra'and reached a Place called Bhojkat on the banks of River Kaushiki, ruled by King Gaadhi. As the Muni was at the River for taking his 'Snaan', he saw an extraordinarily pretty girl and on enquiry came to learn that she was the daughter of the King named Tribhuvan Sundari who arrived there to worship Devi Gauri in the Temple there with the desire to secure a suitable husband. Sage Rucheek approached King Gaadhi with a proposal to marry his daughter and the latter did not relish the offer since the Sage was old

and none too handsome but could not directly convey the negative reply as the Sage might curse either the King or his daughter. He had indirectly suggested that he would expect 'Kanya sulkam' or dowry as per the Royal Tradition and the dowry would be seven hundred white horses with black ears which could run as fast as wind; the King felt that this kind of difficult demand would surely dissuade the Sage. On the other hand, Sage Rucheek prayed to Devatas and recited sixty four Ruchas (stanzas) in Chanda or symmetry invoking seven hundred mighty horses coloured white with black ears along with strong riders who could run like wind! That specific Ghat of Ganges was thus known as 'Ashva Tirtha'. As per the earlier understanding the King could not wriggle out and had to marry off the daughter to the Muni. Almost after the wedding, the Muni told the bride that he was going off for performing Tapasya and asked her for a boon. The bride's mother advised the daughter to ask the Sage for an excellent boy full of Brahmana's virtues for herself and for a brave Kshatriya boy for the Queen. The Sage performed 'Putreshtu Yagna'to fulfill the desires of the daughter and her mother, viz. a boy of great Brahmanik radiance and another boy with unusual Kshatriya's vivacity respectively and gave away two seedlings one for herself and another for her mother. He instructed that his wife should embrace a Pipal Tree and her mother should embrace a 'Bargad' Tree after consuming the respective seedlings. But the daughter and the mother wanted to test the Sage and thus exchanged the seedlings and the trees. The Sage discovered that exchanges of the seedlings and the trees took place and got quite angry, but the young wife sincerely begged the husband to conceive a boy with Brahmanic qualities although he might have the Kshatriya background. The Sage replied that there could not be a reversal of the situation, yet the boy born of Kshatriya origin might however be an illustrated Sage or a Rajarshi. Thus were born Vishwamitra to Tribhuvansundari and Jamadagni to the Queen. Jamadagni begot Parasurama who not only destroyed King Kartaviryarjuna for killing Sage Jamadagni but also wiped out Kshatriyas in a series of twenty one battles and uplifted the supremacy of Brahmanas as a race. On the other hand, Viswamitra became a Rajarshi with the qualities of a Brahmana. After Gaadhi, Viswamitra became the King. (Skanda Purana) Thus Vishvamitra was of the Kshatriya clan as the King of Kanyakubja, a famed warrior of koushika vamsha and the son of King Gaadhi. Once King Vishvamitra on a hunting spree with his mighty entourage happened to visit Maharshi Vasishtha at his ashram and was treated him and his large army with a sumpuous lunch and discovered Kaama Dhenu the celestial cow the ashram. Vishwamitra was fascinated and wanted the cow for himself so that his 'praja' would never face shortage of food. Vasishtha refused, the King pondered that true might never wrested with battle skills but only with austerities and relentless tapasya. Vishwamitra spent many years in the pursuit of his goal and faced many obstacles like. For instance, his meditations were once interrupted when he was seduced by Menaka. Mahabharata describes Vishvamitra's relationship with Menaka resulting in a daughter, Shakuntala]. He returned to his meditations, but was forced to re-start again and again. Finally, he returned to Bramarshi Vasishtha and evesdropped and heard the conversation of Vasishtha and his wife Arundhati, and learnt that Vasistha had been always encouraging Vishvamitra all along as the King turned Maharshi was steadfast in his Tapasya despite several hurdles and material attractions and physical weaknesses throughout his journey to enlightenment. Ashamed of his anger towards Vasistha, Vishwamitra began to hit his head against a wall. Vasistha rushed out to stop Vasistha and Vishwamitra fell to the ground. As his head touched the feet of Vasistha, Vishwamitra felt a divine current course through his body. He also went into spontaneous state of 'samadhi' when he heard Gayatri Mantra which he kept on repeating for long. Vasithta during Vishva -mitra's Enlightenment and acquisition of Celestial Energies conferred the title of Brahma-rishi' to him.

2. Vishvamitra and Harischandra: King Harishchandra on a hunting expedition, he heard the cries of a woman asking for help. Armed with a bow and arrow, he went in the direction of the sound. The sound was an illusion created by Vighnaraja, the Lord of the obstacles. Vighnaraja was trying to disturb the tapasya of Vishvamitra and entered the body of Harishchandra who in turn started abusing Vishwamitra. This disturbed Vishwamitra's tapasya even as Harishchandra came to his senses and realized that the Sage was extremely angry with him, and apologized. Then commenced the 'Agni Pareeksha' Harischandra who was renowned for his outstanding Truthfulness. As though Ganesha prompted Vishvamitra by testing the tenacity of Vishvamitra and the glory of Truthfullness of the King alike, the episode of Satya Harischandra got initiated. The King promised to fulfill any of the Vishvamitra's desires to get rid of his guilt. The King requested to perform Rajasuya Yagna. There after, when Harischandra offered 'dakshina' to Vishvamitra, the latter surprised the King and demanded his entire kingdom and all his possessions excepting him, his wife Devi Chandramati and son Rohitasya and left the palace. Vishvamitra further demanded another dakshina when Harischandra sold off himself, his wife and son too. The Sage maltreated them all and Harischandra decided to leave for Kashi in utter poverty. Viswamitra reached there too and reminded about the dues of Dakshina since a month passed meanwhile. Harischandra's wife offered that she could be sold off to pay for the Dakshina. The King fainted at her proposal and she fainted too. But since the Sage gave an ultimatum to pay off at least a part payment by that evening, the coupledecided that she was sold in an open market place as a slave of any taker. A Brahmana came forward to buy her and some amount was paid to Viswamitra, but the young son Rohit did not leave his mother and she begged the Brahmana, who already started insulting and even beating her in the presence of her husband and the Public, finally agreed to allow the son to stay along with her in his home. A few days later, Viswamitra appeared in the form of 'Kaal' (Mrityu/ the Deity of Death) and demanded that atleast another instalment of the payment due to him at once; Harischandra had no other option to sell himself to a Chandala, even while reminiscing his past stature and the absence of his virtuous wife and the dear son. The Chandala gave him the duty of holding a stick to burn off dead bodies and be loyal to the Master and carry out his meanest errands The Great Harischandra finally got rid of Viswamitra even if he had to perform the most wretched and heinous duties; he lost his identity and carried on with past memories which also faded away with the passage of time and led a mechanical and handful existence. One fateful day, a woman arrived at the burial ground with a dead body of her son, stated to have been dead as a result of a snake bite. The crying woman recognised the person with his stick with which he was used to burn off dead bodies for years now, and even as he had a dishvelled and ugly hair and beard, with depressed cheeks and hollow eyes. The former Queen- the wife of King Harischandra was herself half clad and hardly identifiable, with her dead son on her lap; she had tired eyes after incessant cries and was looking completely exhausted and hysteric. A man called Harischandra- a non-entityvaguely felt he saw her somewhere! At last, he recognised her and their dead son and hugged her and the son's body, arranged the dead son on a huge pyre and was about to consign to flames. His wife decided to immolate herself but Harischandra felt that he was not free even to do so without his Master's permission. Finally he decided to join his wife's immolation even if he were to go to hell and the couple performed their last prayers to Almighty. Just at that nick of time several Deities headed by Dharma made their appearance; they included Sadhyaganas, Vishvadeva, Marutganas, Lokapalas, Nagamani, Siddhaganas, Gandharvas, Rudraganas, the two Ashvani Kumaras, Sage Viswamitra and Lord Indra too. The dead Rohit was revived and presented himself in a Prince's attire Harischandra and his wife were blessed and were invited to reach Heaven but the King hesitated as he did not secure his Master's permission; Dharmaraja declared that he himself was the Chandala and approved of the Royal Couple to

fly by the Pushpak Vimana to Swarga. Lord Indra stated that all the Deities were extremely happy with the Values of Dharma, Sacrifice, Dedication and Truthfulness that were amply demonstrated by the King, his wife and their son and as such the three were fully entitled to Swarga. Indra sprinkled 'Apamrutyu vinaashaka Amrit'/ the Ambrosia that negated death on the Pyre where the dead body of Rahul was kept and the various Deities showered fresh fragrant flowers and Indra personally invited the Threesome to Swarga; but Harischandra hesitated and said that the Citizens of Ayodhya were highly anguished at our misfortune and hence the King and family alone could not depart to Swarga committing betrayal; the sins of Brahmahatya, Guruhatya, Gohatya, Streehatya are as deplorable as Bhaktahatya; therefore Bhagavan Indra! Kindly return to Swarga, since the pleasure of visiting that Place would not accord as much happiness of our reaching Swarga as our staying in this 'Bhu Naraka' along with our Bhaktas! Thus our resolve is to stay back with our own well-wishers ony.Lord Indra was taken aback by the decision of Harischandra and did concur with his proposal as an unusual and exceptional occurrence! Sage Sukracharya commended the example of Harischandra and stated as follows: *Harischandrasamo Raja na bhuto na Bhavishyati*!

3. Vishvamitra and Vashishtha: an interesting rivalry of Vasishtha and Viswamitra and their mutual curses to become birds: After emerging from his penance under water for twelve long years, the Guru of the King Harischandra, Sage Vasishtha, came to learn that Viswamitra tormented the King and his family to such unendurable limits as taking away their Kingdom, freedom of existence, and near extinction of their lives. It was due to the enduring capacity of the King that even Deities like Indra, Dharma and Dikpalakaas complemented him and his family as was so felt by Vasishtha too.. Quite incensed by the deplorable acts of Viswamithra, he gave a Curse saying: Tasmadduraatma Brahmadvida yajvinaamavatopakah macchhapahato moodhaha sa bakatvamavaapsyati (Due to this reason, that evilminded stupid who is a hater of Brahmanas and who seeks to spoil Yagnas being performed by them be cursed to become a stork!). But Viswamitra came to know of the curse and gave a return curse to Vasishtha to say: Twamaadi bhavasvet (You become a Partridge!). By virtue of their mutual curses, both the Sages turned out to be birds and kept on quarrelling with each other screeching and shrieking and becoming a nuisance in the surroundings. Lord Brahma himself, as accompannied by Deities sought to bring about truce to the fighting Baka (Stork) and Aaadi (Partridge) but to no effect. Finally, Lord Brahma over-ruled the mutual curses of the Sages and restored their original forms. Vasishtha and Viswamitra felt ashamed of them; Brahma explained to Vasishtha that the extreme actions taken by Sage Viswamitra against Harischandra and family were only to put them to test but not out of spite or jealousy; even Dharma Raja was an actor in the drama that was initiated by Maha Ganapati Himself! Harischandra and family as also the great illustrious Well-wisher Subjects of Ayodhya were amply rewarded at the end thus explained Lord Brahma.

Sarga Twenty four: Sarayu-Ganga confluence at Malada- Kurusha Villages where Indra hid; the reason was that Indra killed brahmana Vritraasura. <u>Vishleshana: on Vritrasura and Indra's Brahma hatya dosha-</u> They enter 'Tataka Vana'

Vishleshana on Vritrasura and Indra's Brahma hatya dosha:

Indra kills Trisira and Vritra and his penance: Prajapati Visvakarma, the famed Architect of Devas, had a son named Trisira or the three headed Brahmana boy who used to practise ascetism with one head, drink wine with another and look around in all directions with the third. Being an ardent student of Vedas, he was always engaged in severe Tapasya, especially 'Panchagni Sadhana' hanging upside down a tree branch exposed to Summer Sun, winter cold and heavy rainy season without food conquering worldly desires. Being highly suspicious of the intentions of Trisira who might pose problem his own throne,

Indra despatched Apsarasas to disturb Trisira's rigorous meditation but to no avail. Indra thus killed him even when he was in meditation, even as he knew that killing a pious Brahmana in meditation was the highest possible sin. Furious with Indra's dreadful deed, Visvakarma performed an inexorable Sacrifice by 'Abhichara' process (taking revenge) reciting Atharva Veda Mantras, created a mountain like and ferocious boy with the sole objective of killing Indra. The huge boy was named Vritra or who could save his father as Vrinjina. Visvakarma equipped him with all kinds of war tactics and divine armoury including a swift and sturdy Chariot, a 'Sudarshan' like Disc, and a 'Trisula' like spear. As Vritra grew, Indra was getting nervous and approached Deva Guru to prevent any risk from the Demon. Brihaspati warned Indra that he should better be prepared for a Big Battle as the forebodings were not conducive, as after all Indra had committed a heinous crime of killing a Brahmana out of pride and fear. Meanwhile Vritra formulated his plans of attack and grouped a vengeful and desperate army of Danavas as his support. As the dooms day arrived, Indra and Devas were attacked and a furious Danava clan fought for hundred years and Indra leapt for life from Elephant 'Airavata' and ran by foot and Varuna, Vayu, Agni and all other Planetary heads and Devatas, Gandharvas, Kinnaras and so on fled too incognito. At one stage Vritra caught hold of Indra and literally devoured him. All the Deva Chiefs prayed to Deva Guru to some how save Indra and Brihaspati managed Vritra to yawn with his mouth wide open and somehow helped Indra to manage to bale out from his mountain-cave like mouth of Vritra! As Indra and Devas fled and hid themselves from Vritra, the latter ruled Heavens for thousand years and Devas continued sporadic efforts to defeat Vritra and Danavas but to no avail. Indra and Devas approached Maha Deva for help and together along with Maha Vishnu prayed to Maha Devi and got Her blessings. Some senior Sages went in a delegation to Vritra requesting for truce with Indra and Devas. Vritra agreed that the truce be agreed provided that his death should take place neither during day or night, with a dry or liquid substance or by wood, stone, thunderbolt and similar substance. The Sages agreed to the conditions. But Vritra's father Visvakarma cautioned the son that past history was a witness to Indra's vicious acts and that he would certainly strike Vritra at an opportune time; he said that Indra was such a crook that he killed the foetus of his own mother's sister Diti by entering into her womb by Anima and other Siddhis and killing it into pieces; by taking the form of Sage Gautam and cheated the Sage's wife Ahalya into bed, and recently killed Trisira on the suspicion that he might usurp his throne and so on. In course of the function like 'Suthika Sauchak'ie one month after birth till 'Samavartan' or boy returning from 'Gurukula' after studies. Meanwhile Rahul came to realise that Varun had been demanding the Naramedha and ran away. After some time when he came to know that his father was exremely ill with dropsy as a result of Varuna's curse, Rahul wanted to return home but Lord Indra advised him against it. Sage Vasishtha the well wisher Guru of Harischandra suggested that an alternate way of performing Naramedha as approved by Scriptures was neither day nor night but the twilight time. It was wrongly deduced that it was Indra who killed Vritra, but the actual position was that Maha Bhagavati entered and energised the Sea foam and terminated Vritra. That was why Maha Bhagavati was known as 'Vritranihantri'. [Srimad Maha Bhagavatha Purana stated that Maha Vishnu advised Devas to implore Sage Dadhichi to spare his backbone which was converted into a thunderbolt by Visvakarma the Architect of Devas with which was killed Vritra by Indra.] Badly hurt by the sense of guilt that he killed a Brahmana the result of which would be that of a Great Sin of 'Brahma paataka' as this would be a second sin of killing Trisura, who was also a Bramhana, Indra felt miserable and hid himself in the stalk of a lotus in the deep ditch in Manasarovar lake. As Indra was absconding for a long time, another Indra King Nahusha was installed, and puffed up by the new position Nahusha asked for Sachi Devi to serve him, as he was the King then. Sachi asked for some time Indra befriended Vritra and when the latter was roaming on the Sea beach he

took advantage of the situation and sent his thunderbolt to dip itself in the froth of the Sea waves and killed Vritra as the time to make sure that her husband was really hiding or dead. She prayed to Devi Maha Bhagavati and explained her predicament to Her. Maha Devi asked Sachi to accompany a female messenger named Visvakama; they went by an air-borne vehicle to Manasarovar where she met Indra who was frightened with the sense of guilt hiding inside the stalk of a lotus. On narratinig the happenings of the new Indra, his desire to own Sachi as his wife, her asking him for time, praying to Maha Devi and the messenger Visvakama helped locating Indra, the latter advised Sachi to allure Nahusha into a forest by a Vehicle meant for Sages. She returned to Nahusha who borrowed the 'Vimana' (air plane) of Sages who understood the deceipt of Nahusha and allowed both of them to board the vehicle saying: SARPA SARPA, which had the double meaning of 'Get In and go' and also 'Serpent, Serpent'! The Great Muni was whipped by Nahusha to let the Vehicle go fast. The Vehicle dropped Nahusha in the thick of a forest who took the shape of a huge serpent and picked up the real Indra and Sachi Devi back to Heavens safe, when all the Devas were happy that original Indra returned! Nahusha secured his liberation only after the Maha Bharata was over and the Five Pandavas passed through the forest and King Dharmaraja answered the questions correctly from his serpent formation and liberated him too. By the Grace of Devi Bhagavati, Indra was reinstated and the curse of his 'Brahma Hatya Pathaka' (killing a Brahmana) was already dissolved by way of atonement and sufferance in hiding at 'Manasarovara'. Such was the Supreme Justice that Devi Maya did to every being without favour or prejudice. The powerful 'Karma' or Fate works equitably to Tri Murthis downward to a grass blade, but the norms change with the passage of Yugas from Satya to Treta to Dvapara and Kali Yuga when the percentage of Gunas would witness radical change by way of reduction to Satvik, medium to Rajas and maximum to Tamas and when the peak reaches to Tamas, it then would be time for Universal Dissolution! [Source: Devi Purana]

Sarga Twenty nine: Vishvamitra takes Rama brothers to the 'Vamana Ashrama'

Vishleshana on Bali Chakravarti and Vamana avatara

<u>Vishleshana on Bali Chakravarti and Vaamanaavataara: Maha Puranas especially Matsyaadis described but Vamana Purana is quoted:</u>

Chakrayarti Bali of Daityas took over the reins of Trilokas from Virochana the son of Prahlada and the great Grand father of Hiranyakashipu, Devas lost power in Swarga and the mighty Mayasura and Shambara flew the Flag of Vijayanti too. Yet, the Daityas were steeply engaged in Dharmik deeds, and they were guarding the Sky providing stability all-around. There was complete absence of sinners in the Kingdom and Dharma was predominate; Dharma was established on four feet except on one; all the Deputised Kings were performing Administration ideally and all the Four Varnaas of population were observing Dharma perfectly. It was at that opportune time that the Coronation of Bali Chakravarti took place amidst the chantings of Victory by all concerned. Devi Lakshmi appeared and congratulated at Bali's Elevation to Supremacy along with her 'Amsaas' like the Devis named Hreem, Kirti, Dyuti, Prabha, Dhruti, Kshama, Bhuti, Ruddhi, Divya, Mahamati, Shruti, Smriti, Ida, Shanti, Pushti, Kriya, and also select Apsaraas. Meanwhile, Devataas were disillusioned at their discomfiture and the climax of Bali's high status especially because of Daitya King's unchallenged success owing to his Dharma Paalana and the lack of any record of Evil deeds by Daityas; they were also denied their shares of Yahna Phalaas. They approached their mother Aditi for solace and advice and in turn she reached her husband Kashyapa Muni. Kashyapa found the situation was delicate and even Brahma might find it difficult as strictly speaking the record of Daityas was above board! Brahma advised that the only way out would be that Tapasya and Aditi would perform strict Tapasya to Vishnu Deva and seek the most difficult boon of Vishnu taking birth as their son! The Couple reached the Banks of Kshira Samudra at a holy spot called Amrita, performed austere Tapasya and 'Kaamada Vrata' for thousand years by controlling their Indriyas, observing silence and Kashyapa chanted Veda Yukta Sukta called Parama Stuti as follows:

'Deva Deva, Eka Shringa, Vrishaarchi, Sindhuvrusha, Vrishaakapi, Suravrisha, Anaadi Sambhava, Rudra, Kapila, Vishvaksena, Sarva Bhuapati, Dhruva, Dharmaadharma, Vaikuntha, Vrishaa Karta, Anadi madhya nidhana, Dhanajaya, Shrutishrava, Prushna Teja, Nijajaya, Amriteshaya, Sanaatana, Tridhaama, Tushita, Mahaa Tatwa, Lokanaatha, Padmanaabha, Virinchi, Bahurupa, Akshaya, Akshara, Havyabhuja, Khandaparashu, Shakra, Munjikesha, Hamsa, Mahaa Dakshina, Hrishikesha, Sukshma, Mahaniyama dhara, Viraja, Lokapratishtha, Arupa, Agraja, Dharmaja, Dharmanaabha, Gabhastunaabha, Shatakratunaabha, Chandra Ratha, Surya Teja, Aja, Sahasra shira, Sahasrapaada, Adhomukha, Maha Purusha, Purushotthama, Sahasrabaahu, Sahasra Murti, Sahasrasya, Sahasra Sambhaya! I prostrate before you and touch your feet; You are commended as Sahasratva, Pushpahaasa, Charama / Sarvotthama; You are known as Voushta and Vashatkaara; You are Agrya or Sarvotthama, Yagna Praashita or Bhokta, Sahasra dhaara; You are the Bhur-Bhuva-Swah Swarupa; Veda Vedya or Recognisable through Vedas; Brahmashaya, Brahmanapriya; Dhyouh or Sarvavyapi like the Sky; Maatarishwa or Speedy like Vayu; Dharma, Hota, Potha / Vishnu; Mantaa, Netaa, Homa hetu or the Root Cause of Homa; Vishvateja, Agrya or Sarvasreshtha, Subhanda or like the Huge Patrarupa encompassing all Dishaas; You are worthy of Yajana or Ijya; Sumedha, Samidha, Mati, Gati, and Daataa; You are Moksha, Yoga, Srashta or the Supreme Creator; Dhata / Dhaarana and Poshana Karta; Parama Yagna, Soma, Dikshita, Dakshina and Vishwa; You are Sthavira, Hiranyanaabha, Narayana, Trinayana, Adityavarna, Aditya Teja, Maha Purusha, Purushottama, Adi Deva, Suvikrama, Prabhakara, Shambhu, Swayambhu, Bhugtaadi, Maha Bhuta, Vishwa Bhuta, and Vishwa; You are the Samsaara Raksha, Pavitra, Vishwa bhava or Vishwa Srashta, Urthwa Karma or Uttama Karma, Amrita or Everlasting, Divaspati, Vaachaspati, Ghrutaarchi, Anantakarma, Vamsha, Pragyamsha, Vishwapa or Vishwa Paalaka, Varada or the Bestower of boons; and finally, You are the Hotraatma or who is responsible for producing Agnihotra by way of the seventeen counted Aksharaas or Letters viz. Four 'Aashraavayas' plus four 'Astu Shroushads' plus two 'Yajaas' plus five 'Yajaamahyes' and again two 'Vashats' Aditi made a commendatory appeal to Janaardana seperately and said: 'Prabho! I am grieving with unimaginable anguish which could be destroyed only by you. My Salutations to You Bhagavan who sports lotus garlands and Pushakara malaas; You are the Adi Vidhata who is an embodiment of propitiousness! You are Kamala Nayana, Padmanaabha, the Creator of Brahma, Atmajanma, Lakshmi Pati, Indriya damana, worthy of darshan only by Samayama Yogis, Sudarshana and Khadga dhaari! Only those 'Atmagyanayuta' Yagnakartas, Yogadhyaanis and Yoga Saadhakaas could aspire to visualise your Gunarahita Brahma Swarupa! May I pay my obeisances to you Sharanga Dhari Deva! as you occupy the whole world in a Gross Form and yet possess the tiniest Form which is invisible! Those persons who do not make efforts to visualise you do not get your Darshan any way, but those who have no other desire in life excepting you would readily witness you are blessed with your image in their hearts always for the asking! Your unbelievable Jyoti or extraordinary Radiance is allpervading in the entire Universe in which you are present invisibly and contrarily the Universe is but an integral segment of You Parama Deva! In other words, You are all over the Universe, the Universe was created by you and in fact the Universe is of Yours! My humble greetings to you the original Prajapati! Pitara Sreshtha! Devata Swami! Shri Krishna! Here are my Pranaams again and again! You are the Supreme Objective of Prayritti and Nivritti Deeds (Ritualistic and Directly unswerving approach) and the Unique Decider of bestowing Swarga or Moksha the Eternal Bliss! My namashkaaraas to you Vishuddha Swarupa as even my taking your very name and memory would smash all my sins! You are the Avinaashi or Indestructible; Akhilaadhara or the Mighty Clutch of the Entirety; the Only Reliever of the Trap of Birth-Death Cycle! You are perceptible through Yagnaas, the Yagna Murti, the Yagna Sthita and Yagna Purusha! Vedas commend you, Vedajnaas sing your hymns, You are the 'Vidwadjanaashraya' or the one who is fond of the Company of Vidwadjanaas. My Most Revered Paramaatma! The whole Vishwa is your Creation, Sustenance and also the Termination thus You are the Vishva Kartha, Vishva Bharta and the Vishwa Harta! I pray to that Highest Magnificence who materialised Surya Swarupa and destroyed darkess for good. To that Sarveswara, the Ajanma, Avyaya, Srashta and Vishnu who is fully aware of the Truth about me and the transparency and earnestness of my Prayers that I am prostrating with humility craving him to grant my wish! As both Kashyapa Muni and Devi Aditi made their Soul-full Prayers, the

impossible Darshan of Bhagavan Vishnu appeared and granted the wish that he would indeed assume His Incarnation with a view to reinstate Indra and Devas to Swarga and Trilokas.

As Aditi got concieved and Bhagavan Vishnu agreed to do so, Prithvi got tremored, Mountains were shaken, and Sapta Samudras were agitated with wobbles of waves and there was strangeness all-around! Bali Chakravarti felt that there were considerable changes in the Nature as mountians were trembling and high Sea tides were on new high and more so Daityas were experiencing paleness and loss of their normal instincts of courage, assertiveness and egoism. Bali approached his grand father Prahlada and asked for the causes of these omens and premonitions. Parama Bhakta Prahlada deeply meditated Bhagavan Srihari and visualised the latter in the Garbha of Devi Aditi and had fleeting scenes of Ashtaadasha Vasus, Ekadasha Rudras, Dwadasha Adityas, two Ashvini Kumaraas, Forty Nine Maruts, Sandhyas, Vishwa Devas, Gandharvas, Nagas, Rahkshasaas, his Son Virochana, Bali Chakravarti, Jambha, Kujumbha, Narakasura, Baana, and several other Daityas, Pancha Bhutas, Seas, Mountains, Rivers, Satpa Dwipaas, Brahma, Shiva, Nava Grahas, Daksha and other Prajapatis, Sapta Rishis and so on. Prahlada gave a heavy exhalation and conveyed the datails what all he visioned and said that the Greatest Narayana in would soon be descending on Earth in his incarnation as Vamana Deva! Bali could not comprehend the full import of what Prahlada underlined and expressed his surprise whether Vamana Deva coud be ever comparable with the Senior most Rakshasaas like Viprachitta, Shibi, Sankha, Ayamshanku, Hayashira, Ashwa Shira, Bhangha kaara, Maha Hanu, Kakkuraaksha and Durjaya. As Bali talked in such thoughtless comparisons with Paramatma and some examples of Danavas howerver mighty they might be, Parhlada got highly infuriated and shouted at Bali that there could not be bigger immature fool and hollow minded; he said that Bali's evil frame of mind would certainly lead the entire Vamsha of Daityas to doom. 'Bali! I have not come across a King of this kind who is evil-minded and dull-witted that could blame the Devaadhi Deva, Maha Bhaga, Sarva Vyaapi Vaasudeva; the names of the Daityas that you have taken as the so-called Mighty as also of Brahma and Devas were created by that Paramatma; indeed with just one 'Amsha' of myriad of his Amshaas, he created the whole 'Charaacharaas' and 'Samasta Vibhutis' or Manifestations including you, me, Daityas, Parvataas, Vrikshaas, Rivers, Forests, Samudraas, Sapta Dwipas, and so on and He is Sarva-Vandya, Sarva-Vyapi, and Sarva-Vidita; would there be a Vivekaheen-Murkha-Durbuddhi like you who would pass judgments on Him! What-ever are the reasons due to which you are faulting your Guru/ your father, or his father who is me or the Parama Guru who is Paramatma might be best known to you! Your talking slightingly against Narayana is by far the worst since it tantamounts to cutting my head and it is to set right those feelings of pride and egotism that I am giving you a 'Shaap' / Curse that soon you would be dislocated from your Kingdom, Aishwarya, and ego. Chakravarti Bali was distraught and distressed at this most unforunate happening of Prahlada's curse and was ashamed of himself for his rash, thoughtless and sinful belittling of Bhagavan's uniqueness which had understandably stirred up the anger of a legendary Bhakta of the unparalelled stature of Prahlada. He confessed that there was a total loss of his mental faculties when he conversed at that time due to superciliousness and over-enthusiasm of having defeated Devas which propelled his traits of arrogance; indeed his remarks had correctly hurt his grand father who was fully justified in giving him an irreparable curse but far worse than the curse, his behaviour which hurt elders, like Prahlada, who built a reputation of the family as Narayana Bhaktas, was sullied in the memory of future generations. This was humiliating to the Vamsha that he was squarely responsible! He begged of Prahlaadaa's forgiveness which he did not deserve and would feel repentant ever day and night. Prahlaada appretiated Bali's remorse and said that he was incensed up at that moment and the anger led him to obsession which lost his mentral equilibrium that caused the pronoucement of the curse, for which he felt exremely sad. But a lesson was provided to Bali and fully converted him as a Parama Bhakta of Narayana.

Mean while, Devi Aditi deliverd a lovely male child in short stature when Nature assumed a blossomed freshness that was rare, the Gagana Mandala was clean without any trace of pollution and Vayu was pleasantly soft and nicely odoured quite unfamiliar in the human world. The proud parents invited Brahma to perform Jaatakarma and Namakarana as **Vamana Murti.Brahma Stuti to Vamana Deva**: It was at that time when Brahma could not suppress his emotions and broke in his ecstasy into an instant

Eulogy as follows: Victory to you Adheesha, Ajeya, Vishwa Guru Hari, Ananta who is devoid of Birth and End; Achyuta, Ajiota, Asesha, Avyakta Sthita Bhagavan, Paramaartha Purti Nimita, Sarvajna who distinguishes Jnaana and Jneya, Asesha Jagat Saakshi, Jagat Kartaa, Jagat Guru, Jagat-Ajagat Sthita or Existent in Charaachara; Paa lana-Pralaya Swami, Akhila, Asesha, Sarva Hridaya Sthita; Adi-Madhyama-Anta Swarupa; Samasta Jnaana Murti, Uttama, Visualisable only by Mumukshaas, Mukti Sadhana by Yoga sevitaas, Nitya Prasanna and Parameshwara who is ornamented by Dama, Kshama and such other qualities; Atyanta Sukshma Swarupa, Durjeya or realisable with great difficulty; Sthula (Gross) and at the sametime AtiSukhsma (Tiniest); Indriya Sahita and Indriya Rahita; Mayaayuta yogastitha; Sesha shaayi Avinaashi; Bahurupa dhaari; Ekadamshtra Prithvyoddhaara Varaha Rupa or Varaha Rupa who lifted Earth with a single tusk; Hiranyakahipa vakshasthala vidirna Nrisimha; Maya Vaamanarupa dhara; Mayaavruta Samsaara dharana Parameswara or the Holder of Samsara surrounded by Maya; Dhyaananeka Swarupa dhaarana karaa; Eka Vidhi Vibho! You are the epitome of Buddhi / Intellect; Jagaddharma marga Sthita Prabho! Myself, Shankara, Indra, Sanakaadi Munis and Maha Yogiganaas had failed to understand about you as we are all shrouded by Vishnu Maya; who else could gauge your personality excepting your self! Only those who are dedicated to you and are ever-engaged with your constant 'Araadhana' could have a chance of pleasing you and none else. Ishwareshwara! Ishaana! Vibho! Bhavana! Vishwatma! Pruthulochana! Vishwa Prabhava or Srishti kaarana! Vishnu! May you grow from strength to strength! Victory to you Paramatma!' As Bhagavan Hrishikesha was prayed to by Brahma, the former smiled and said that in the past Indra and Devas and Kashyapa Muni as also Devi Aditi paid their homges and recited Stotras to him and he assured that he would assume the incarnation of Vamamna Murti; he further assured that he would have Indra and Devatas reinstated as Trilokaadhipatis soon. In course of time Brahma offered Krishna Mrigacharma to Bhagavan and Brihaspati performed Upanayana and Yagnopaveeta dharana; Marichi Maharshi gifted Palaasha danda, Visishtha gave kamandalu, Angira Muni gave a Silk Vastra, Pulaha Muni gave a mat as Aasana, and various other Munis taught the Vatu the purport of Omkaara, Vedas, Shastras, Sankhya Yoga, Darshana Yuktis etc. Having been trained in all these disciplines, Vamana Deva had one fine morning left for the Yagna Shaala of Bali Chakravarti as the latter was executing a SacredYagna while carrying his mat, danda /stick, chhatra / umbrella and kamandulu / water vessel. Danava Guru Shukracharya was aware that Vishnu Deva in the form of Vamana Murti was arriving at the Yagna and briefed Bali Chakravarti to be extremely careful as Vishnu was a sauve and highly talented person to put words in the mouths of the opponents. The Guru reminded Chakravarti that the latter denied the age-old practice of rights to yagna's shares to Devataas and that Vamana Murti might as well ask for the revival of the practice but those shares were now enjoying by Danava Chiefs. Bali replied to Danava Guru that in case Vishnu in the incarnation of Vamana Murti came and requested for any thing then how could a King say 'no' to it! Bali told the Danava Guru: Brahman katha -maham bruyaamanyapihi yachitah, Naastiti kim Devasya Samsaarasyaaghahaarinah/ Vratopa- vaasairvividhairyah Prabhurgrunhatey Harih, Sa mey vakshyati deheeti Govindah kimato -dhikam? Naasteeti yanmayanoktamanyeshaamapi yaachataam, Vakshyaami kathamaaya -tey tadadya chaamarechutey/Shlaagha eva hi veeraanam Daanaacchaapt samaagamah, Na badhaakaari yadyaanam tadanga Balayat smrutam/ (Brahmanaachaarya! How could I deny any body requesting me for a favour! And if that Supreme Deva asked me for a charity, then what else would be the alternative! While Parameswara received the fruits of Vrataas, Upavaasaas, and so on from one and all, and if that Parameswara himself asked a boon from me, could there be a greater fortune to me! When even an ordinary person approached me for a favour, then too that could not be denied by a King; then when Narayana himself asked for it, could such an opportunity presented itself, this chance could never indeed be missed. Even if there are difficulties in executing a charity, the value of charity would get multiplied and 'Veera purushaas' would never deter from performing the deed) Having said the above, Bali asked Shukraachaarya: YatagjnaatwaaMunisreshtha!Daanavighna karenamey, Naiva Bhavyam Jagannaathey Govidey samupastithey! (By understanding the above, Munisreshta! Please do not create 'Daana Vighnaas' or hurdles in the execution of the Charity!). As Vamana Deva arrived at the Yagna shaala, Bali welcomed him, offered 'Arghya', 'Aasana', Puja and offered him limitless gold, jewellery, elephants, horses, cows, women, clothes, bunches of villages or townships or whatever would be his

wish! Vamana Deva replied smilingly: Mamagnisharanaarthaaya dehi Rajan Padatrayam, Suvarnagraamaratnaadi tadarthibhyah pradeeyataam/ (Raja! Please provide to me three feet of land to enable me to set up an Agni- Shaala). Bali said that after all three feet would be nothing as he could ask for a lakh of feet which could be given away, but Vamana Deva replied that he was indeed satisfied with that much of Bhumi and if the King were to offer more he might as well provide to the other needy! Bali Chakravarti readily agreed not understanding the implication and as the deed of Daana was being executed and Vamana Deva extended his hand to the King and expanded his Vamana Rupa gradually immediately: Sarva Devamayam rupam darshayaamaasa tatkshanaat/ Chandra Suryoutu nayaney dyouh shirascharanou Kshitih, Paadaangulyah Pishaachaastu Hastaangulya –scha Gruhakaah/ Vishvedevaascha jaanusthaa janghey Saadhyaah Surottamaah, Yakshaa nakheshu sambhutaa rekhaapsaraastathaa/ Drushtirrukshaanya seshaani keshaah Suryamshvah Prabhoh, Taarakaa romakupaani romeshu cha Maharshayah/ Baahavo vidishatasya Dishaah Shrotrey Mahatmanah, Ashvinou Shravaney tasya naasaa Vayurmahaatmanah/ Prasadey Chandramaa Devo Mano Dharmah samaashritah, Satyasyaabhavad Vaani Jihvaa Devi Saraswati/ Greevaarditirdeva mataa Vidyaastadvalayastathaa, Swargadwaaramabhunmaitrah twashtaa Pushaa cha vai bhruvou/ Mukhe Vaishvaanarschaascha vrushanou tu Prajaapatih, Hridayamcha Param Brahma Pumstwam vai Kashapo Munih/ Prushthesya Vasavo Devaa Marutah Sarva saandhishu, Vakshasthaley tathaa Rudro Dharryachaasya Mahaarnavah/ Udarey chaasya Gandharvaa Marutascha Mahaabalaah, Lakshmirmedhaa Dhrutih Kaantih Sarv Vidyaascha vai Katih/ Sarvajyoteesham Yaaneeha Tapascha Paramam mahat, Tasya Devaadhi Devasya tejah prodbhutamuttamam/ Tanou Kukshishu Vedaascha jaanuni cha Mahaamakhaah, Ishtayah pashavaschaasya Dwujaanaam cheshtitaanicha/ Tasya Devamayam rupam drushtaa Vishnormahaatmanah, Upasarpanti tey Daityaah patangaa iva paavaakam/ Chakshurastu Mahaa Daityaah Paadaangushtham gruheetavaan, Dantaabhyaam tasya vai greevaa mangushtheynaahana dharih/ Prathamya Sarvaansuraan Paadahastathalairvibhuh, Krutwaa Rupam Mahaakaayam Samjahaaraashu Modineem/ Tasya Vikramato Bhumim Chandraadityaou stanaantarey, Nabho Vikramamaanasya sakthidesho stitathaarvibhou/Param Vikramaanasya jaanumuley Prabhaakarou, Vishnoraastaam sthitasyaitow Devapaalana jkarmani/ Jitwaa Lokatrayam taamscha hatwaachaasura pungavaan, Purandaraaya Trailokyam dadou Vishnururukramah/

(Instantly, Vamana Murti displayed his Virat Swarupa: Chandra and Surya were his two Eyes, Shy was his head, Prithvi his feet, Pishachaas were his foot-fingers, Gruhyakaas were his hand fingers, Vishwa Deva Ganaas were in his jaanus /knees, Sadhyas were his janghaas, Yakshaas were his nails, Apsarsaas were his palm lines, Nakshatras were his Eye sight, Surya kiranas were his hairs, Stars were his body hairs, Maharshiganaas were in the hair roots, Vidishas were his hands, Dishaas were his ears, Ashwini Kumars were his faculty of hearing, Vayu was his nose, Chandra Deva was his joking faculty, Dharma Deva was his thinking capacity, Satya was his voice and Saraswati was his tongue, Deva Mata Aditi was his neck, Vidya was his valiyaas or long poles; Pushas were his eye brows, Swarga dwar was his anus, Vaishvanara his face, Prajapati his vrushanaas, Param Brahma was his heart, Kashyapa Muni was his Pumstwa, Vasu Devata was his back, Marutganaas were his Sandhis, Rudra was his Vakshasthala, Mahaarnavaa was his Dhairya, Gangharvas were in his stomach; Lakshmi, Medha, Dhruti, Kaanti and all Vidyaas were in his 'Kati Pradesha'; the luster and radiance in the total Universe as also the Tapo teja or the power of meditation was the reflection of the magnificence of Natayana; Vedas and Sciptures and the huge Yagnaas and the Sacred Deeds of the Virtuous like Maharshis and Brahmanas were all inside in his 'kukshi' or belly. On viewing the Paramatma's 'Virat Swarupa', the so called 'Mahaasuraas' referred to earlier in ignorance by Chakravarti Bali before Prahlada's curse to him got burnt off like flies before a gigantic out berak of Fire! Having thus occupied the Universe in totality including the sub-terrain Sapta Paatalaas, Vamana Deva stated that since Bali took the water in his hand and donated the THREE FEET of Land, and blessed him to be the King of the Sapta Paatalaas and granted him long life till the and of Manvantara of the on-going Vaisawata Manu. He also blessed Bali that all the 'Homa Phalas' at the time of Shraddhas to be performed even by Brahmanas, besides incomplete and defective Vratas, Agni

Kaaryaas without ghee, and Kusha grass roots as also the daanas without detachment would belong to Bali and his followers.

Ityetat kathitam asya Vishnor mahatmyamutthamam, Shrunuyaadyo Vamanasya Sarva Paapaih pramuchyatey/ Bali Prahlaada samvaadam mantritam Bali Shakrayo, Baleyrvishnoscha charitam ye smarishyanti Maanavaah/ Naadhayo Vyadhayesteshaam na cha Mohaakulam Manah, Chuturaajye nijam Raajyamishta- praptim Viyogawaan/ Samaapnoti Mahabhaagaa Narah shrutwa kathaamimaam/ Brahmano Vedamaapnoti Kshatriyo Jayatey Mahim, Vaishyo Dhana Samruddim cha Shudrah Sukhamaampunuyaat, Vaamanasya Matmyam shrunvan Paapaih pramuchyatey/ (Whosoever hears of this narration of Vamana Charitra and Mahatmya would have no 'Adhi-Vyadhis' or exteral and internal problems and be freed from sins; Brahmanas would attain Veda Prapti, Kshatriyas of Victories, Vaishyas of Dhana Samruddhi and Shudras enjoy happiness; As they read or hear of Prahlada-Bali Samvada or of Bali and Vishnu Charitra, one would aviod situations of Official hindrances and achieve the desired goals of life.)]

Sarga Thirty Five-Six-Seven: By boat from Shonabhadra to Ganges, Vishvamitra explains about flows of Ganges - birth of Skanda-Vishleshana on Skanda Janma: Padma-Skanda-Matsya Puranas Vishleshana on Kartikeya: There are three versions of Skanda Deva janana in Padma Purana, Skanda Purana and Matsya Puranas; especially in regard to Skanda Kumara Janma Padma Purana first: Tarakasura was too powerful to Devas whose soldiers were badly bruised and ran without direction. Indra and Devas approached Brahma and he replied that none excepting a seven day son of Shiva and Devi Parvati, called 'Kartikeya' could kill Tarakasura and none else in the world. At this juncture, Indra prayed to Sage Narada to advise further plan in the context of the birth of Kartikeya. The Sage designed a route-map of action, first to approach Himavanta and his wife Mena as also Parvati to prepare them to wed Mahadeva; to secure access to Mahadeva for his consent to let Parvati assist the former in his daily Pujas and approach Kama Deva and Rati Devi to stealthly despatch 'Pushpa Baanas' or Amorous Arrows of Love in favour of Parvati while she was in service to Mahadeva. But the Plan did not quite succeed as Mahadeva's eves searched for Kama Deva and burnt him off with his third eve. As Devi Rati prayed to Maha Deva, the latter assured that Kama Deva would soon be created again as 'Ananga' or devoid of Physique. As Devi Parvati was shaken by the news of Kama Deva's turning into ashes, she decided to take to Tapasya; her father Himayan addressed the daughter to say: 'U' 'Ma' meaning 'Don't do so'! But still she left to such a Place to perform rigorous Tapasya where even Devas did not desire to visit and was so inaccessible at the heights of Himalayas. As the Plan as scripted by Narada Muni was not yet in place, Indra prayed to 'Sapta Rishis' to intervene. The Rishis tested her unambiguous decision to perform the severe Tapasya by arguing with her that she was bent on marrying Maha Deva and none else; in fact she became angry with the Rishis that she reacted sharply against them and even condemned them to suggest any other name as her spouse excepting Shiva Deva. Sapta Rishis approached Maha Deva, underlined Parvati's strong mental make up to wed only Maha Deva and emphasised the angle of 'Loka Kalyan' or the Universal Cause of destroying Tarakasura which could be accomplished only through the wedding with Parvati. For a number of years, Shiva and Parvati were in a joyful mood after their marriage and there was little news for Indras and Devas about the possible arrival of Kartikeya who alone could terminate Tatakasura. Agni Deva took the form of a parrot and entered the Palace of Shiva and Parvati who found that Parvati was enjoying a bath in a Sarovar playing with lotus flowers and Lord Shiva was resting in his bed. She found six Krittikas in the Sarovar and told them that she was desirous of seeing the water drops inside the lotus bulbs; the Kritthikas replied in fun that they would show the water drops provided they allow them also to share the joy of a child in her 'garbha'! The Krittikas further said that they should allow them too to own the child as their own as much as that of Devi Parvati and she agreed to the mutual deal; Krittikas showed the water drops inside the lotus bulb and drank them. As soon as she drank the water drops, there emerged a handsome and healthy boy from Devi Parvati's right abdomen with Sun-like luster and a powerful Physique wearing a 'Shula' and 'Ankush' in

both of his hands. He was called 'Kumar' as many entities claimed parentage maily of course by Lord Shiva and Devi Parvati but also the Krittikas and even Agni. The boy had six brilliant faces and was popularly called by several names viz. Vishakha, Shanmukha, Skanda, Shadaanana and Kartikeya. Brahma, Vishnu, Indra and various Devas gifted the Child several valuable souvenirs like Chandan, Malas, Dhup, Toys, Umbrellas, and Bhushans and instantly appointed him as the Senapati or the Commander-in-Chief of Devas. Lord Vishnu presented several 'Ayudhas' or Arms; Kubera provided ten lakh of Yaksha Sena; Agni gave his Tej (Radiance) and Vayu provided speed as his 'Vahan' (Chariot). Kumar desired to ascertain as to what he could do for them and in one voice they wanted the demon Tarakasura to be killed and Kumar assured saying: So be it! Inspired by what Skanda Deva guaranteed, Indra sent an emissary to Tarakasura saying that soon Indra and Devas would arrive to destroy the demon and his followers. Danavas wondered that an additional Shakti must have joined the Deva Sena as otherwise they would not dare send a messenger alerting them to come prapared for a battle! Tarakasura remembered Brahma's boon to him with the qualification of the risk of his death in the hands of a boy! Even Kalanemi and other Daityas had creepy feelings about the might of the stranger who joined the Deva Sena. As Tarakasura saw finally saw the so-called additional Shakti, he laughed away and made fun of the baby boy; he said that Devas did great injustice in projecting him ahead of them so that they could conveniently run away if need be! Kumar replied that there was no need to make fun of us since in a battle of 'Shastras', there was the brain power that was important but not the brute force; moreso, one did not require a huge serpent to kill an opponent but even a tiny snake could finish off the enemy by a small bite of poison! Bala Surya was always difficult to look at and never under-estimate a boy! Even as Kumar's reply was over, the Asura threw a musala but the reply by way of a mighty Chakra from Kumar was instantaneous. The Daitya threw a metallic Bhindipal which Kumar stopped merely by one of his hands. Kartikeva targetted a ferocious mace which made ear-blowing sound and the demon was hardly able to escape its impact. The demon then realised that this boy was not an ordinary kid and one had to be tough with him; he used a very powerful Shastra which was undone by Kartikeya instantly. Then Kartikeya came into his form and massacred thousands of demons and the so-called mighty demons like Kalanemi could hardly defend themselves and ran away to save their skins. As a last resort, Tarakasura hit Kumar's vahana of Peacock and going wild with this act, Kumara finally used the 'Nirmal Shakti' in his hands and threw it with force and speed and the Shakti dazzled the demon's vision; he tried his best but could not evade it since it flew behind wherever he went and ultimately pierced into his heart as the mountain-like Tarakasura fell making a thud, like a cloud-burst and the handful soldiers of the huge army of Davanas left behind alive ran for their lives. Devas went into a state of ecstacy with loud shouts and battle-cries of relief showering fragrant flowers all around, Gandharvas sang earsplitting songs of victory, Apsaras danced with gay abandon and the whole Universe wore a memorable look of unprecedented carnival. Vishnu and Brahma were highly satisfied that finally Dharma an Nyaya were vindicated by Kumara. Maha Deva and Devi Parvati seated on Nandi with Ganesha and Kartikeya flew across to KailasaMountain witnessing festivities all along the route!

Skanda Purana: Indeed the unprecedented and the Most Glorious Wedding of Siva-Parvati was the unique talk of the entire Universe. At the Wedding 'Muhurat', Himavan declared: 'I, Himavan of the Gotra and clan of Mountains have the greatest privilege of offering the hand of my daughter Devi Parvati to Parama Siva in the august presence of Brahma and Vishnu. In turn, I wish to know the Gotra and Vamsa of Bhagavan'. As Sage Narada lifted his Veena instrument, Himavan stopped Narada not to play on it as a reply about the Gotra and Vamsa of Bhagavan; Narada told Himavan that the Gotra and Vamsa of Maha Siva was 'Naad' or Sound and that was why Narada lifted the Veena as a reply! Bhagavan is 'Naadamaya' or the Embodiment of Naada and one could realise Siva only through Naada, as He has no Gotra and no Vamsa since He is above these nomenclatures and yet belongs to all Gotras and all Vamsas. He has neither beginning nor end; He is the Most Supreme Energy beyond comprehension! Then Himavan gave the 'Kanyadaan' or the offering of his daughter saying: 'Imam Kanyaam thubhyamaham dadami Parameswara! Bharyartham prathi gruhneeshva' (Parameswara! I am offering my daughter as

your 'Dharma Patni'; kindly accept). After wedding, Maha Deva and Devi Parvathi moved on to Mountain Gandhamadan to a luxurious and lonely place for their honeymoon. As Bhagavan's virility was so potent that parts of humanity were getting destroyed and Vishnu asked Agni Deva to take the form of a Hermit and asked Parvati to donate it and extended his hand which was immediately consumed by Agni even before Her eyes. Parvati got angry and cursed Agni to become 'Sarva Bhakshak' or he who consumes everything. Agni could not bear the brunt of the virility of Maha Siva and begged Him to show a way to pass it on to someone; Siva advised that the same be planted into virtuous women and Sage Narada annotated that such women of high merit taking bath on an early morning in the instant month of Magha would be attracted to Agni and his hot flames and they would be the best choice for the transfer of the virility in particles. As advised by Narada, Krittikas approached Agni seeking warmth from the cold morning and Agni transferred some drops of virility to the ladies through their skin pores. Kritthikas got pregnant and their angry husbands gave a curse to them to roam on the Sky. They became Stars in a constellation and aborted their pregnancies. The major portion of the virility got left however on top of the Himalayas which was lifted by a crane and pushed into Ganges and the drops which were radiant like fire sparks got meshed up in the river bed plants (Sarkhand) of Ganges, who carried the foetus to a secluded place in the bushes thus emerging a Six Headed Child Kartikeya! As soon as the boy of highly chiselled face and limbs was born with extraodinary splendour, there was such illumination that travelled all over the Three Worlds instantly. Siva Deva and Devi Parvati appeared at once on their Vrishaba carrier and were overwhelmed with parental love and affection. Soon Brahma, Vishnu, Indra and the entire Devaloka assembled and so did Rishis, Yakshas, Gandharvas and all Celestial Beings. Veerabhadra and Pramathaganas as also the whole entourage of Maha Deva were ecstatic with boundless rapture. Devas put their chins up with indescribable relief that it would not be far for the greatest menace of Takakasura to be devastated by the new arrival on the scene! The whole atmosphere was of liberation, festivity and celebration. The Deities commenced preparations of war to kill Tarakasura but a Celestial Voice was heard that victory would be assured only under the Leadership of Kartikeya and hence all the Devas requested Skanda to become the Chief of the Army of Devas. Meanwhile, Devasena, the daughter of Mrityu Devata, became his wife and hence Skanda was known as Deva Senapati. Kartikeya led the army of Devas of the rank of Indra, Agni, Vayu, Kubera and Yama Dharma Raja and was seated on an elephant. Tarakasura arrived with a huge army of mighty warriors who dominated and controlled the opponents intially. Indra's 'Vajra' was overpowered by Tarakasura's weapon called Shakti and wounded Indra. King Muchukunda who fought for Devas and sought to stop the domination of Daityas but Tarakasura felled him on the ground; Muchukunda wanted to use the 'Brahmaastra' but was restrained by Sage Narada as that weapon would no doubt create havoc but would be ineffective to destroy Tarakasura and hence Kartikeya would have to be warmed up gradually. Veerabhadra swang into action and slaughtered thousands of Demons; Tarakasura realised that Veerabhadra was not easy to control and thus used his 'Maya' and assumed a thousand arms. Lord Vishnu suggested that the time was ripe to kill the Big Demon before he became more powerful and asked Skanda to charge him. With his mighty weapon Shakti on hand, Kartikeya chased Tarakasura but the latter retaliated with his own 'Shakti' and even got Skanda unconscious for a while. After quickly recovering his poise, Kartikeya prayed to his parents and released the Maha Shakti which was fortified with the blessings of Bhagavan and Bhagavati and finally annihilated Tarakasura who incidentally was a Great Siva Bhakta! But Siva Himself was so pleased at the valour of the lad who was more than a match to the Greatest Demon of the times who sent shock waves across the Three Worlds! While Devas and Gandharvas were engaged in unending praises and noise of resounding musical notes, Rishis were engaged in Vedic Hymns to please Kartikeya and there was ecstasy across the Globe.

Matsya Purana: The whole Universe was charged with myriad emotions as Shiva as the groom and the party arrived at the bride's palace. At the 'Kalyana Mandapa', the Parvarta Raja Himavan was in a state of dazed ecstacy since Parama Shiva himself was his son-in-law. *Pranateynaachalendrena Pujitotha Chaturmukhah, Chakaara vidhinaa Sarvam Vidhimantra purah saram*/ (Parvata Raja performed puja

with respects to Brahma and with the full course of formal Mantras, the wedding was celebrated in tradition and dignity); Sharveyna Paanigrahana maagneena saakshikamakshatam, Daataa Mahibhrutaam Natho hotaa Devaschaturmukhah/ Varah Pashupati Saakshaat Kanyaa Vishaaranistathaa (Then Parama Shiva wedded Parvati with Agni Saakshi or in the presence of Agni, when Daata / donor was Himayaan, Brahma as Hota (the Head Priest), Shiya as the bride groom and bride as Aranibhuta Devi Parvati.). Devas were extremely happy that the best was yet to happen; Indra gifted a golden umbrella, Gandharvas sang tuneful songs, Apsaras danced to their best, Kinnaras organised instrumental extravaganza and the whole world cebebrated, but of course Daityas and Danavas who had ruled for thousand years were highly dejected quite understandably. After a few days the new couple of Shiva and Devi Parvati took permission of Parvata Raja Himayaan and moved back to Mandarachala. Years passed by and Shiva and Parvati continued to enjoy their marital bliss. Out of fun, Bhagavan Shiva teased Parvati once as follows: Shareerey mama tatwaangi sitey bhaasya sitadyutih, Bhujaangee vaasita shuddhaa samslishtaa chandaney tarow/ Chandraatapena sampruktaa ruchirambaraa tathaa, Rajaneevaasitey pakshey drushti dosham dadaasimey/ (Devi Parvati! As your physical colour is rather dark and mine is fair, it looks that a dark serpent is circling a chandana tree! Also, there is a similie -comparison- of a shining Moon against the background of dark cloud on the sky!). Understandably, Parvati was not amused, and in fact, badly hurt, when Shankara made these remarks even as a joke. Instantly, she left out home and proceeded to perform 'Tapasya' to Brahma for a number of years to change her body colour. Any amount of pleading and supplication by Shiva did not change her mind. Meanwhile, the son of Andhakasura and the brother of Bakasura called 'Aadi' performed strict 'Tapas' to Brahma Deva and asked for the boon of 'Amaratwa' or immunity from death. As Brahma could not grant this advantage, Aadi amended the request that he should be able to convert his Body Form as per his wish; Brahma agreed provided that the Daitya could do so only twice. As Veerak was guarding the Entry Point of Shankara and as it was not possible to enter 'Shiva dwar', Aadi converted his Form as a snake and entered Shankara's abode through an under ground hole and slithered in; thereafter Aadi assumed the Form of Devi Parvati, approached Maha Deva and pretended that she had given up Tapasya as the severity of meditation just to change of body colour from 'Krishna Varna' to 'Gaura Varna' was not worth the strict regimen. Parama Shiva was happy initially that she changed her mind and returned back to him. But on second thoughts and knowing that Parvati would not take a flippant decision to return without achieving her objective, he suspected the fake Parvati and killed the 'Mayavi' Daitya. The original Parvati Devi's Tapasya pleased Brahma Deva and blessed her to change her body colour as she pleased either as of Gaura (white) Varna or of Shyama Varna; Parvati returned home to Maha Deva but the unwitting Veeraka, the 'Dwarapalaka' refused her entry to her own house! As any amount of convincing did not help Veeraka, Devi Gauri was tired out to reason him and finally gave a 'Shaap' that he would be born as a human and after the duration of the curse would return to her again. Parama Shiva was so excited as Gauri entered his interior bed room that a delegation of Devas headed by Indra was turned out saying that he was busy. Indra detailed Agni Deva to take the form of a parrot and peep in through a window as to what was happening inside their bed-chamber. Exactly at that time, the parrot peeped in when Shiva-Parvati were actually seen in action on their bed; Shiva noticed the parrot and recognised Agni. He scolded Agni and said now that he created 'Vighna' (obstacle) between him and Parvati and hence he might as well rectify the situation by drinking up his virility. The highly explosive drops shining like molten gold punctured Agni's belly and got spread over the Maha Sarovar nearby. Several lotus flowers which got sprouted all over in the deep waters emitted strong and fragrant scents and the intoxication affected 'Krittikas' who happened to bathe in the Sarovar; the Krittikas desired to take the lotus leaves home but Devi Parvati jocularly remarked to the Krittikas that she could take the drops of water on the lotus leaves as well. In turn Krittikas joked that they would take the water home, provided the child born of the water consumed by them should have equal right to the motherhood of the boy so born! As the deal was struck between Kritthikas and Parvati, the Krittika damsels gave the lotus leaves as also the water drops to Parvati. Subsequently, Devi Parvati drank up the water around the lotuses and from her right and left 'kukshis' gave birth to two male children later united into one and the child who had the extraordinary radiance of Surya Deva; each of the Six Krittikas shaped up one head each of the child; thus the boy was

named 'Kumara' by Parvati; 'Kartikeya', 'Shanmukha', 'Shadvaktra' by the Krittikas and as 'Vishakha' or the different 'Shakhas'/ branches of the lotus leaves that carried the golden drops. On Chaitra Shukla Shashthi, the child was declared as the 'Deva Senapati'/ the Commander-in- Chief of Devas. Vishnu gifted varieties of 'Ayudhas'/ Arms and 'Astras' or Mantrik Arrows. Kubera presented him a lakh-strong of yaksha army. Vayu Deva gave him a 'Mayura Vahana'/ Peacock Carrier, while Twashta Prajapati gifted a toy in the form of a Cock which could change its form as the boy wished. All the Devas presented souvenirs, prostrated before Skanda and extolled him." Our Greetings to You, Kamarupa Shanmukha! You are Kumara, the radiant son of Maha Shiva and the destroyer of Danavas; your physical form is the glow of rising son and of the heat of Agni; you are appropriately adorned, the Army Chief of Devas; the dreadful on the battle front; Guhya Rupa, the abolisher of fear in Trilokas in the Form of a Child; gifted with broad and clear eyes; Vishaakhaa! Our reverences to you as the practitioner of Maha Vratas; you are a terror in battle fields although of pleasant visage otherwise; you have a peacock as your carrier and wear a Keyura / wrist bangles; the high flier of flags; the bestower of boons to devotees; the high profile symbol of courage and strength; you possess a Magnificent Form. This was how Indra and Devas extolled Skanda.) Even as Kumara was replying to assure Devas that very soon the desire of retrieving their lost glories would be fulfilled, an emissary of Tarakasura arrived and conveyed their Chief's message to Indra with a warning not to repeat his past mistakes of challenging a giant Daitya of the stature of that great Tarakaura who shook up the Universe and converted Devas as his servants; he also remarked that instead of playing balls and toys, the baby boy Skanda should gradually get acclimatised to battle fields and face mighty Asuras much later in life! As Tarakasura was in a jocular mood, Skanda Deva said: 'Taraka! Never under-esimate the 'Shakti' of a kid; can you not realise that a baby serpent could perform permanent damage to you and that a boy who has 'Alpaakshara Gyan'in releasing 'Astras' could reach you directly to Naraka! Even while Skanda was conversing like this, Taraka threw a 'Mudgara' (hammer) and an agile Kumara destroyed it with his 'Vajraayudha; Taraka threw a 'Bhindapaal' which was destroyed by Kumara's own hands. Skanda materialised a Gada / Mace and despatched it against Kalanemi Daitya who became furious and rained a stream of Arrows. These arrows had little impact on Skanda. Instead, Kalanemi and his associates were thrashed by Kumara and they had to sprint from the battle lines. Takakasura then appeared center-stage and was furious in releasing a powerful arrow which hurt Kumara Swami's 'MayuraVahana'; The infuriated Skanda and threw the most potent'Shakti Baana' which was indeed the decisive point that sealed Tarakasura's fate and the greatest menace in the Trilokas who dominated the scene for thousands of years was finally destroyed, even as Devas sounded 'dundhubhis' (large drums) and showered rose petals which filled up the Earth, Sky and the Nether lokas with the fragrance of Parijata flowers from Swarga. Gandharvas and Kinnaras sang melliflous praises of Kumara and his proud parents, Apsaras were ecstatic and Sapta Rishis recited Mangala Mantras. Those who read or hear about the glories of Skanda would neither have sins nor diseases but lead a contented life ahead!]

Sarga Thirty Eight/ Nine: King Sagara's tapasya for sons- queen Sumati begets 60,000 strong sons while Keshini just only Asamanjasa. Sagara planned Ashvamesha yagna, Indra stole the Sacrificial horse- Sumati's strong sons searched bhuloka-and patalas with pomp and noise-Kapila Muni curses the sons in patala to become stones-Vishleshanas: Adho lokas- Kapila Maharshi.

<u>Vishleshana on Adho Lokas</u> [The lokas underneath the Seas occupy as much an area as Prithvi; the span of Earth is seventy thousand yojanas, height too is as much. The expanse of Patalas too is as much; these lokas are Atala, Vitala, Nitala, Sutala, Talatala, Rasatala and Patalas and each of these lokas has an expanse of ten thousand yojanas. The colour of these lokas is black, white, yellow, red, grey and golden respectively. The inhabitants of these lokas are Daityas, Danvaas and Nagas.. These lokas enjoy extreme illumination from the 'Manis' (diamonds) on the hoods of the Nagas. The inhabitant serpents and Daityas revel in themselves with festivities and luxurious delicacies of food, wine and intoxication for long hours of time without concerns and worries. They enjoy good time by way of swims in Saroyaras, rivers and

lotus-ponds and deal with all kinds of valuable possessions. Underneath these Lokas shines Bhagavan Vishnu's 'Tamoguna Rupas' as Sesha Naga named as Anantha, worshipped by Siddhas, Devatas, Devarshis and Daityas alike. Lying under the entire Universe, the mighty Sesha Deva bears the brunt of the Prithvi and the 'Charaachara Jagat. Source Brahma Purana'].

As Sagara Kumaras entered 'Rasatala', a mountain like Diggaja was as Virupaksha which supports earth was visioned on the sky. When ever this 'diggaja' seeks to rest then there are earthquakes. [Earth is stated as being protected from eight directions be celestial elephants protecting the Eight Directions viz. North, South, East and West and their spouses North East, South East, North West and South West] Sagara putras made a parikrama or circumambulation of the Diggaja while seeking entry into Rasatala. As the commenced digging up Rasatala from the western side they found the diggaja and then visioned another Diggaja named Shvetabhadra supporting Earth again. As the Sagara Kumaras continued the digging of Rasaatala for the missing Sacrificial Horse, Bhagavan Vishnu in the form of Kapila Maharshi reddened his eyes while the mighty Sagara Putras were engrossed in the unilateral task of digging again and again. They finally found the Sagara Chakravartis Yagnyaashva just near around the Maharshi. asmākam tvam hi turagam yajñiyam hrtavān asi, durmedhas tvam hi samprāptān viddhi nah sagarātmajān/ śrutvā tad vacanam teṣām kapilo raghunandana, roṣeṇa maĥatāviṣṭo humkāram akarot tadā/ tatas tenāprameyena kapilena mahātmanā, bhasmarāśīkṛtāh sarve kākutstha sagarātmajāh/ As soon as hardworking Sagara Putras cited the 'Yagnaashva' grazing in the vicinity of a Maharshi, they started shouting with anger with pent up emotions of frustrations for several days and nights stating 'you the wicked Maharshi! how dare you had hidden the Sacrificial Horse here as it had been grazing grass coolly here; now we the mighty have arrived; be it well realised that we are the mighty sons of the almighty Chakravarti Sagara himself! The Maharshi on hearing the braggings of Sagara Kumaras made a 'humkaara' in raging fury and the totality of the sixty thousand valiant force were burnt to ashes.

Vishleshana on Kapila Maharshi: Kapila Maharshi is named for Saankhya Yoga viz. Samanvaya: Understanding by Interpretation. Upanishads and Vedas too comprehend the basis of Awareness about the original cause of Existence and of the Universe. It is only by that Supreme Conciousness that the Ancient Sciptures seek to comprehend but not by a secondary Source of what is loosly designated as the Self Consciousness as Sankhya Yogas interpret; indeed, the Self as an individual is Brahman and is not a separate entity either. Brahma Purana explains how King Vena abandoned Vedas and all precepts of Dharma but the huge gathering of Sages over powered and killed the King, while Kapila advised the Sages to churn the King's thighs and recoverd Nishads or hunters even as from Vena's right hand Prithu Chakravarti was manifested! The latter saved Earth again from 'akaala' due to lack of very long rainlessness for severral yoears drought and BhuDevi came happy and green all over with crops! Brahma Purana also mentions Sage Kapila in the context of Sagara Chakravarti's thousand strong sons seeking to Pandava's Ashvamedha Yagjna's sacrificial and disturbed Kapila Maharshi -Vishnu Hmself?-in his deep sleep and when got awoken, the brilliance in his eyes burnt all the thousand strong progeny but four of Sagara's fore fathers to ashes, leaving few survivors of the family lineage.

Sargas Forty to Forty Two: Asamanjasa goes in search and conveys the result to Sagara who dies- King Asamanjasa gaveup hopes and so does his son Amshuman and the latter's son Dilip. But Bhagiradha takes up the thread and prays to Ganga from skies at Gokarna Tirtha. Vishleshanas on 1) Gokarna Tirtha and 2) on Bhagiratha from Brahma Vaivarta and Maha Bhagavata Puranas. .

Vishleshana on Gokarna Kshetra: Gokarna Kshetra: Atha Gokarnamaasaadya Trishu lokeshu vishrutam, Samudra madhye Rajendra Sarva loka namaskrutam/ Yatra Brahmaadayo Devaa Manushyascha tapodhanaah, Bhuta Yakshaah Pishasas -cha Kinnraah samagoragaah/ Siddha Chaarana Gandhharvaa Maanushaah Pannagaastathadhaa, Saritah Saagarah shailaa upaasita Umapatim/ Tareshaanam samabhyarcha Tri raatroposhito narah, Dashaaswedhaamaapnoti Gaanapatyam cha vindati/ Uposhya

dwaadashaa raatram krutaartho jaayate narah, Tasminneva tu Gayatryaah sthaanam trilokya vishrutam/ Triraatramushitastatra gosahasra phalam labhet/ (The fame of Gokarna is well known all over the Trilokaas, as greeted to all the Lokaas in the Sumudras. All the Loka are greeted to Maha Deva Shankara to whom Brahmaadi Devas, Tapodhan Rishis, Bhuta-Yaksha-Pishcacha-Kinnara-Naaga-Siddha-Chaarana-Gandharva-Manushya-Saagara-Sarita- Parvataadis do always prostrate and worship. Among all these species who observe fasting for three nights at a strech are stated to secure the performance of ten Ashwamedha Yagina phala and a senior member of Shiva ganas and in the case of fasting twelve nights accomplish Shiva Sayuja itself! At Gokarna, the Place of Devi Gayatri who is the most revered and the most popular Deity among the three lokas and here if ove performs fasting for three nights continuously is stated to be eligible for achieving thousand Go-danaas!) The Gokarna Kshetra-one of the Mukti Kshetras acclaimed by Parashurama- which is situated in North Karnataka near Mangalore in Western India along with Karwar coast of Arabian Sea and Western Ghats, literally meaning the Cow's ear, is the abode of Mahabaleshwar the Maha Deva of Physical strength. Lord Shiva emerged from the cow likened to Mother Earth and the shape of the Kshetra is of a ear too at the confluence of two rivers viz. Gangavali Aghanashani. Varaha Purana describes that Bhagavan Shankara assumed the form of a deer and moved around freely once; Brahma Deva, Indra and other Devas searched for Maha Deva but could not till they realised finally that Shiva assumed the swarupa of a deer. They tried to seize the horns but Shiva as the deer disappeared though the horns were caught. One horn was established at Gokarna, another at Bhagalpur, Bihar as Shringeshwara and the third at Indra Loka . Maha Bhagavata describes that Ravanasura, the Epic Villain of Ramayana, pleased Maha Deva and secured the boon of Shiva's Atma Linga and desired to carry the Linga to his Kingdom in Lanka; Sage Narada scented about the boon given by Shiva to Ravana and got worried that the Asura would become immortal by worshipping the Atma Linga daily; he alerted Lord Vishnu who spread the net of Vishnu Maya and Ravana felt that evening was nearing for his Snaana-Sandhya Puja Vidhi; he beckoned a passer by cow herd boy to hold the Atma Linga just for a while but the boy- who actually was Lord Ganesha who was prewarned by Narada-replied that he was in a great hurry and could not wait but would call Ravana by his name thrice; even while Ganesha in disguise shouted Ravana's name thrice, the latter just returned but the Atma Linga was kept on ground and the boy disappeared. He made all his efforts to lift up the Linga but to no avail. In the process of the struggle, only the top portion of the Linga fell at Gokarna and the rest of the pieces of the Linga were thrown away at Suratkal where Sadashiva Temple was built and other pieces fell on Sajjeshwara, Guneshwara and Dhareshwara some kms. of distances away, while the cloth covering the Atma Linga fell off at Mrideshwara now called Marudeshwara at Kanduka Hill surrounded by three sides by Arabian Sea. Mahabaleshwara at Gokarna Kshetra has established great significance-even as other places like Sajjeshwara.].

Bhagiratha having renounced Kingdom performed deep tapasya at the Maha Tirtha of Gokarna; Bhagīrathas tu rājarṣir dhārmiko raghunandana, anapatyo mahātejāḥ prajākāmaḥ sa cāprajaḥ/ sa tapo dīrgham ātiṣṭhad gokarṇe raghunandana, ūrdhvabāhuḥ pañcatapā māsāhāro jitendriyaḥ/ tasya varṣasahasrāṇi ghore tapasi tiṣṭhataḥ, suprīto bhagavān brahmā prajānām patir īśvaraḥ/ Having enrusted the duties of Kingship to his Ministers, Mahrma Bhagiratha retired to deep tapasya at the popular Gokarna Tirtha with the singular detrermination of bringing Devi Ganga to bhuloka from the high skies. The tapasya was stated to have exceeded for thousand years as he kept his shoulders erect and atop with unbent knees while worshipping the Five Fires with unfailing limb control, while eating morsels of food on monthly basis. Brahma Deva was pleased with the rigorous tapasya and asked him for a boon. Bhagiratha replied: yadi me bhagavān prīto yady asti tapasaḥ phalam, sagarasyātmajāḥ sarve mattaḥ

salilam āpnuyuḥ/ gangāyāḥ salilaklinne bhasmany eṣām mahātmanām, svargam gaccheyur atyantam sarve me prapitāmahāḥ/ deyā ca samtator deva nāvasīdet kulam ca naḥ, ikṣvākūṇām kule deva eṣa me 'stu varaḥ paraḥ/ Brahma Deva!! As you are pleased, do bless me to enable me to bring Devi Ganga from the high skies to earth so that my ancestors get purified with her flows so that the latter could be purified and attain salvation. He further requested that his posterity of Ikshvaku Vamsha be glorious for ever. Brahma Deva replied: Bhagiratha! As you have the viruous ambition to bless the past and future generations, I am happy to approve both of your justifiable proposals. Devi Ganga being the elder sister of Devi Parvati the splendor of Parama Shiva, my advice to you should be to pray and please Him. Moreover, Bhudevi would not be able to withstand the force and fury of Devi Ganga from the high skies, the solution should be to meditate to Trishuladhaari Maha Deva foremost. Visleshana on Bhagiratha:

Brahma Vaivarta Purana is quoted briefly about "Ganga': Bhagirath's efforts, Puja to her and final restoration as Vishnu's wife: Of the two wives of King Sagara viz. Vaidarbhi and Shaibya, Asamanjasa was born to Shaibya while Vaidarbhi delivered a 'Maamsa pinda' (piece of meat); Vaidarbhi meditated to Bhagavan Shankara sincerely and the latter arrived in the form of a Brahmana and cut the piece of meat into thousand pieces and turned out as so many sons. As they grew of age, the thousand sons accompanied a Rajasuya Yagna's horse of King Sagara and behaved flippantly with Kapila Muni while in Tapasya and the furious Muni burnt off the thousand sons into ash. As the King approached the Muni for clemency, the latter assured that if Sacred Ganga were brought from heavens to the ashes of the sons cursed by him, their souls would attain salvation. Asamanjasa and his son Amshuman resorted to Tapasya to Devi Ganga for long time and died but the son of Amshuman named the legendary Bhagirath was fortunate to vision Shri Krishna who in turn instructed Devi Ganga who in any case was to descend to Bhuloka owing to Sarasvati's curse and the pursuant dispensation of Bhagavan Vishnu. Shri Krishna blessed Ganga not only to provide Mukti to Sagara's sons but purify the sins of the troubled human beings through out Kali Yuga who would bathe in Ganga and worship her; even by saying 'Gangey Gangey' from a distance the devotees would be relieved of their sins and if per chance any Prani died while touching Ganga, that Prani would surely attain Vaikuntha! Narada Muni enquired of Narayana Maharshi about the formal procedure of worship to Ganga desirous of reaping maximum advantages. In fact, King Bhagirath was stated to have followed the following procedure as described by the Maharshi. He performed worship to six Deities before qualifying the puja to Ganga Devi, viz. Shri Ganesha, Bhagavan Surya, Agni Deva, Vishnu, Shiva and Bhagavati Parvati. Subsequently, Bhagiratha prayed to Devi Ganga as follows: 'You are pure like the white champaka flower ready to demolish the sins of those worshipping you as you have been materialised by the Vigraha of Paramatma Shri Krishna who had given you the status of thousands of 'Sharatkaala Chandras' as you are the most propitious Narayana Priya, always peaceful and smiling with adornnents of Malati Pushpa garlands, 'chandana bindus' on your broad forehead shining prominently with 'Sinduri bindu'; with pearl like teeth and profusely kind eyes; with such soft feet that put the most delicate white lotus petals to shame; surrounded by Devatas, Siddhas, Muni Ganas and Tapasvis. I greet that Maha Ganga who only knows to bestow boons, purify sinners and enhance the levels of devotees to finally reach peaks of Self-Realisation on par to Mukti. After performing Dhyana on the above lines, the devotee would carry out 'Shodshopa -chaaraas' of Asana, Paadya, Arghya, Snaana, Anulepana, Dhupa, Deepa, Naivedya, Tambula, Sheetala Jala, Vastra, Aabhushana, Maalaa, Chandana, Aachamana and Shayya. Thus dedicating his total self Bharirath

requested Ganga to follow that route which passed through where the ashes of Sagara Putras were rested as a result of Muni Kapila's curse, thus receiving the epithet of 'Bhagirathi'.

Maharshi Narayana conveyed an interesting episode to Narada about a Radha Mahotsava which was being celebrated on a Kartika Purnima at a Rasamanadali. Devi Saraswati took up her Veena and created melliflous tunes in perfect Tala Swaras and Brahma was delighted to gift a rare 'Ratna' as a gift. Shiva gifted an invaluable 'Mani', Krishna gifted Koustubha, Devi Radha prsented a wonderful Navaratna Maala and various Devatas gifted their own gifts too. Meanwhile Bhagavan Shankara rendered a fantastic Poem which was scripted with highly envigorating usage of select words that shook up the moods of the Raasleela congregation. On hearing the extraordinary piece of rendition, the entire audience was spell bound in unbelievable rapture and ecstacy and took time to gain normalcy. But the Rasamandala was in deep distress as Radha and Krishna were not traceable. There was an 'Akaasha Vani' or a Celestial Voice which directed Bhagavan Maha Deva to materialise Tantra Shastra and create Mantras and Kavachas that would be appropriate to the Tantras to be thus created. In reply, Shankara made a vow by swearing over 'Gangaajal' which was present in Shiva's 'kamandalu' (vessel) which indeed was the Sangam of Radha and Krishna who were untraceable so far in the Raasa Sabha that was spell bound hitherto pursuant to Shiva's rendition! After the effect of curses by Sarasvati to Ganga and Lakshmi to assume their own Rupas on Martya Loka, lasting for Kali Yuga's five thousand years, the respective Devis reached back to Vaikuntha and including the Rupa of Devi Tulasi got materialised as Four Wives of Shri Hari; these four wives reached their positions, representing also like Four Vedas. Indeed these formations of Sarasvati, Ganga, Tulasi and Lakshmi were of Bhagavan Shri Hari's ramifications

Maha Bhagavatha Puruna quoted:: If Harishandra gave an eternal memory in truthfulness and integrity, a person of the same dynasity proved as a role model in tenacity. His life's mission was to bring Ganges down to Earth from Heavens. Bhagiradha's prayers were indeed granted by Mother Ganges to the devotee but warned him that the force of the flow from the Heavens to Earth could be withstood by no less than Lord Siva Himself! Bhagiradha never stopped his grand endeavour and worshipped Lord Siva with ausretity and purity who agreed, not only because of the sincerity with which the devotee desired to fulfill the long-standing family wish but also owing to the reason of Universal advantage. The Lord assumed a massive body and controlled the force of the River flowing from Lord Vishnu's feet and bore the brunt of the impact on His head in His 'Jatajut' or twisted hairs and released but a portion of the Holy River. Bhagiradha directed the fiery flow by riding a fast Chariot and brought it to the place where the ashes of his forefathers were purified and their souls liberated to Heavens. Till date, humanity continues to be grateful to him for the ever lasting memory of his gigantic efforts in our reaping the fruits of his labour in the huge land-mass covering entire 'Aryavarta' (Northern India)!

Sargas Forty Three and four: Bhagiratha standing by foot fingers, invoked Maha Deva Vishleshanas: on Gangotri and Haridwara; Devi Ganga: post Bhagiratha Vishleshana on Gangotri and Haridwara

Gangotri: Several and detailed references have been made in Brihaddhama Purana, Maha Bharata Vana Parva, Padma Purana, Skanda Purana, Brahma Purana, Vishnu Purana, Devi Bhagavata, BrahmaVaivarta Purana, Agni Purana, Matsya Purana, Brahmanda Purana, Vayu Purana, Skanda Purana and so on. In fact, Skanda Purana has also provided Ganga Sahasra Naama highlighting Devi Ganga Mahatmya. Na Ganga sadrusham tirtham na Devah Keshavaatparah/ says Padma Purana. Maha Bhagavata describes as follows: Dhatuh kamandalujalam tadurukamasya paadaavanejana pavitrayaa Narendra, Swadhurnyana —bhasi saa patati nimaarshi Lokatrayam Bhagavatovishdeva keertih/(Bhagavati Ganga which originated from the left thumb of the Holy feet of Vishnu's three legs spread over the total universe occupying Earth-Higher and Lower Lokas got materialised to wash off the sins of all beings). From Brahama Loka to Himalayas it appeared in streams called Sita, Alaknanda, Chakshu and Bhadra flowing in four directions; the grand and gigantic flow of Alaknanda jumped down the heights of Hemakuta and other

mountains towards the southern direction and finally merges into the Great Oceans. The specific Place where Ganga is originated that is Gangotri, is the ideal Place where tarpanas and upavasas are performed and by observing these duties human beings there stated to have accrued the Vajapeya Yagna phala and acquire Brahmatwa: Gangodbhedam samaasadya triraatroposhito Narah, Vajapeyamaapnoti Brahma bhuto bhavet sadaa/While Ganga is stated to be pure and hallowed, the three Maha Tirthas are stated to be Gangotri, Prayaga and Ganga Sagara or the exit point of merger with the Seas: Trishu snaaeshu durlabha, Gangodbabhe de Prayage Ganga Saagra sangame/ Talking about the dos and dont's of Ganga Snana, Brahmanda Purana emphasises as follows: Achamana, Shoucha, nirmalya-mala visarjana, gatra samvahana, kreeda, pratigraha, rati, anya titrha bhaava, anya tirtha prashamsha, samtaara or swimming, malotsarga are the twelve tasks to be avoided in Ganga. But most desirable tasks in Ganga are Pitru tarpana with tila mixed water, dahana samskara, tata nivasa or residing at the banks of Ganga Pravaha, Ganga keertana, darshana-sparsha-jala paana, mantra yukta snaana, upavaasa, Veda pathana, Purana shravana, nitya Ganga Smarana, Ganga Sahasra naama stotra, Ganga Vrataacharana, Indira nigraha, Dana prakriya, homaacharana, Sandhya Vandana, Dharmaacharana, and Bhakti bhava in general. Snaana-Tarpana-Pitru Karyaacharana on Solar and Lunar eclipse timings, janma dina worships, parva dina snaana-daana-homa kriyas are all stated to have far reaching phalas. Conducting Yajnas would fetch outstanding results.

Haridwar:Swarga dwarena tattulyam Gangadwaram na samshayah, Tartaabhishekam kurvita kotitirthe samahitah/ Labhate Pundarikamcha kulam chaiva samudbhavet, Tatraika ratri vasena gosahasraphalam labhet/ Saptagange trigange cha shakraavate cha tarpayan, Devaan pitruscha vidhiyat punye lokey maheeyate/ Tatah kankhale snatwaa triratro poshito narah, Ashwamedhaapnoti Swarga lokam cha gacchati/-Padma Purana, Adikhanda, Tirtha Yatra Parva (Haridwara is undoubtedly akin to Swarga Dwara. Those who bathe at the Ganga there are as good as taking bath at Crores of Tirthas, reaping the fruits of performing Pundarika Yagina and bringing to repute one's own Vamsha. Stayintg at Haridwar over night bestows the return of charities of Sahsra Godaana. Performing Sacred Snanas at the banks of Sapta Ganga, Tri Ganga and Shakravarta and offering Deva Pitru Tarpanas would establish themselves with name and fame in these Lokas; thereafter performing sacred baths at Kankhala and observe fasting for three successive nights shall indeed reap the benefit of Ashwamedha Yagna and after the termination of life shall take to the path of Swarga) Haridwar is also called Haradwar, Ganga Dwaar and Mayapuri. It is stated to be a combine of Five 'Puris' viz. Mayapuri, Haridwar, Kankhal, Jwalapur and Bhimgoda. It was at this Place that Brahmarshi Narada was enlightened by Sapta Rishis by way of a Maha Bhagavata Saptaah in a large gathering of Munis and Vishnu Bhaktas. The most significant spot in Haridwar is Brahma Kunda or what is popularly known as 'Hari ki Pairi'. Besides Ganga Dwar or Brahma kund or Hari ki paidi are situated in Haridwar another four Tirthas viz. Kushavarta, Bilwakesara, Nila Parvata and Kankhal- Gangadware Kushavarte Bilwake Nilaparvate, Snaatwa Kankhale Tirthe punarjanma na vidyate/ (Vidhi poorvaka Snaana and Darshana of Bhagawan Vishnu would certainly qualify for no rebirth and Vaikuntha Prapti at each of these.) These Five Sacred Places represent Pouranic Significance as follows: Brahma Kunda or Hari ki Pairi or Vishnu's foot steps: Chakravarti Bhagirath had the outstanding reputation of bringing down Ganga from Vishnu's feet in Vaikuntha down to Kailasha as absorbed in the 'Jata jootas' or Maha Deva's course head-hair pleats. As Bhagirath further did Tapsya to Maha Deva, the Holy Ganga flowed down to Earth and another King Sweta prayed to Brahma Deva to let parts of the River to flow to his Kingdom and the flows came upto Brahma Kunda. Since Bhartruhari the brother of King Vikramaditya performed penances to Maha Deva on the banks of Brahma Kund and achieved Salvation, Vikramaditya constructed steps of the Kunda famed subsequently as Hari ki Paidi. This has come down as the legend of the yore. Gavu ghat: The southern side of Brahma Kund has come to acquire the popularity of redeeming Go hatyhadi patakas by the Sacred Bathings at the Gavu ghat. Kushavarta ghat: Once Dattatreya performed severe 'Tapas'on the banks of Ganga not far from Gavu ghat as he kept his belongings viz. Kusha or the mat of Kusha grass, clothing and kamandalu or the water vessel on the banks of Ganga; one fierce wind blew away these items on the banks in circular fashions and since then the Ghat was then christened as Kushayarta. 'Pitru Karyas' and 'Pinda Danas'especially on Mesha Samkranti days are stated to go a long way resulting in 'Punar janma naasti' or no rebirth again. It is at this Ghat there is the Mandir of Shravana nath. Vishnu Ghat, Maya Devi Mandir, Ganesh ghat, Narayani Shila, Niladhara and Nileshwar, Kalimandir, Chandi Mandir, Anjani Mandir being that of Hanuman's mother, and Gouri shankar Mandir are all lined up there. Bilwakeshwar: Not far from 'Hari ki Paidi' the Bilwakeshwara Mandir is stated to the erstwhile abode of Maha Ashwatara Naga of Patala who frequented it for Maha Deva darshan and 'snaanas' at this Tirtha is stated to bestow the Shiva Tulya status. Kankhal: This is the Sacred Tirtha which is the joint flow of Niladhara and Kankhal where nomad Munis used to necessarily halt and wash off all traces of 'Khal' or wickedness. Daksheshwar Maha Deva Mandir assumes outstanding significance in view of its Pouranic background of Daksha Prajapatis's Brihaspati Yagna to which his daughter Sati Devi's non invitation due to his hatred to his son- in- law Parama Shiva but still she attended the Yagna and was extremely offended by her father and as such resorted to the extreme step of self immolation in 'Yogaagni' when Maha Deva went berserk with fury, totally destroyed the yagna and beheaded Daksha Prajapati. With a view to mitigate the unusual fury of Maha Deva, Vishnu had to use his Chakra and quietly sliced off Sati Devi's mortal remains and threw away into fifty one pieces which eventually came to be famed as so many Shakti Peethaas signifying Devi Sati's body parts as are venerated till date with awe and wonder. As Devas prayed to Maha Deva in torrential 'Stutis', He gradually cooled down and being a known embodiment of mercy and forgiveness, relented to the Prayers of Devas and allowed to the beheaded Daksha to replace the latter's head with that of the goat meant for sacrifice at the ruined yagna and revived the Prajapati back to life! That is why this Holy Place is of unsual Mahatmya and yatris to Haridwara and is stated that their yatra would be futile without worship at Daksheshwara Maha Deva! This Holy Tirtha attracts uprecedented yatris on Shiva Ratris for its legendary background! Besides the above Tirthas, Haridwar has other Tirthas too like Sati Kund, Kapila Sthaana, Bhima Gouda, Sapta Dhara, Satya Narayana Mandir and Veerabhadreshwar each of which has their own background! From Haridwar to approx. forty miles is situated *Shuka taal* where Vyasa Maharshi's son Shuka Deva taught Maha Bhagavata Purana within a week's time to Panadava's descendant King Parikshit on the banks of Ganga. Devaband or Devivan some 8 km near Mujaffarnagar off Shaharanpur is known for Durga Mandir where Durga Saptashati was recited first as believed by 'Vidwamsas' of erudition.]

Vishleshana on Devi Ganga -Post Bhagiratha: a) Devi Bhagavata Purana details as follows: Chain reaction of Ganga -King Mahabhisha-Ashta Vasus- King Shantanu- Gangeya Bhishma: There was a virtuous King Mahabhisha of Ikshvaku Dynasty who pleased Indra with a series of 'Asvametha' and 'Vajapeya' Sacrifices and attained Indra Loka after his death. Once he had attended the Court of Lord Brahma and along with him was seated Devi Ganga. He was immensely attracted to her and she too reciprocated with her amorous glances. Brahma got disturbed and cursed both of them to take to human lives as husband and wife. Mahabhisha opted to be the son of King Pratipa of Puru Dynasty. At the same time Ashta-Vasus (Eight Vasus) of the Celestial Region headed by Vasu Prithi and their families visited Sage Vasishtha's 'Ashram' and admired 'Kama Dhenu' the Sacred Cow whose milk bestowed diseaseless longevity and sublime happiness. The wife of one of the Vasus, Dyau was impressed with the Cow and quietly stole it and its calf. Sage Vasishtha found in his 'Diya Drishti' (Celestial Vision) that Nandini the Sacred Cow was in the custody of Vasu Dyau and cursed all the Vasus to be turned as human beings. Being highly repentant, the Vasus beseeched Vasishtha to dilute the effect of the curse and out of compassion the Sage agreed to one year's human life to seven Vasus as their involvement was indirect but Vasu Dyau should have a full life time. The Vasus, who knew about Brahma's curse to Ganga Devi, approached her to give birth to Seven Vasus of one year's human life each and one life time's existence to the last born Vasu. But this was agreed to subject to the condition that her prospective husband should agree to freedom of her action without any reservation and if he did not, she would quit as the husband. Eventually, Ganga waited on the banks of River Ganges and awaited the arrival of King Pradipa of Kuru Dynasty for meditation. The King arrived to perform 'Surva Namaskaras' on the river bed and Ganga appeared as a charming woman and sat straightaway on his right lap, indicating thereby that the place was to seat a son / daughter. The damsel identified herself as Ganga Devi and replied that she would await his

son's arrival who was yet to be born. In course of time, King Pradipa got his son, Shantanu, and as he grew as a handsome youth advised him to meet Ganga Devi who would propose but cautioned that he should not ask her questions and agree to whatever she asked. Accordingly, Ganga Devi, the eternal beauty, agreed to wed Shantanu and agreed to her conditions unilaterally. She gave immense happiness to Shantanu, who became the King after his father's abdication of the throne. After a year, they were blessed with a boy, but she took the baby and submerged him in the flow of Ganga! To his great surprise, Shantanu witnessed the horror of the child's cruel drowning in the flow but dared not say one word to his wife. This happening was repeated again and again for seven times and as the eight child was born, Shantanu protested and Ganga as per their contract left, but requested that the boy be named as Gangeya. ii) Brahma Vaivarta Purana explains about 'Mutual curses of Lakshmi, Saraswati and Ganga ': Originally Lakshmi, Saraswati and Ganga were the wives of Shri Hari in Vaikuntha. Saraswati felt that Shri Hari was getting fonder of Ganga and complained to Lakshmi but Lakshmi was neutral. Saraswati was irritated and cursed Lakshmi to become a tree as she was insenstive. Ganga felt bad that Saraswati was unnecessarily interfering and cursed Saraswati; this led Saraswati to curse Ganga. Reacting to these curses, Shri Hari gave dispensations as follows: Lakshmi would be born as a tree in the house of King Dharmadhwaja and become the wife of Asura Shankhachuda, a Vishnu devotee and later on turn out to be Shri Hari's dear wife and live for ever as Tulasi and also as a River named Padmavati in Bharata Varsha; Devi Ganga due to Saraswati's curse would become a Holy River to demolish the sins of those who take baths on her waters and eventually flow down in Bharata Varsha due to the persistent efforts of Bhagirath and be called as Bhagirathi and be the wife of Samudra who was also of Shri Hari's 'Amsha' and at the same time be at the 'Shiva Sthaan'; and Saraswati as a result of Ganga's curse would become the wife of Brahma; and finally Lakshmi who was of Satwa Tatwa without any anger or jealousy and would be Shri Hari's own wife eventually. As Shri Hari gave the dispensations as follows, all the three Devis viz. Lakshmi, Saraswati and Ganga embraced each other and felt ashamed of their indiscretions which resulted in the repercussions and prayed to Bhagavan Shrihari as to when the arrangements would terminate and the latter pacified the Devis that he would not only ratify the curses that they made to each other but also retain their positions in Vaikuntha with equal attentions and affections to all the three Devis. Saraswati would keep half 'Amsha' in Bharata Varsha and half with Brahma and the total Amsha with himself (Shri Hari); similarly in respect of Ganga, half of Vishnu's Amsha would be Bhagirathi in Bharata Varsha sanctifying the Beings and by slashing their sins there and the rest of Amsha remaining intact with himself as also have the unique privilege of remaining on Shankara's holy head; as regards Lakshmi, one Amsha would be Tulasi as also as River Padmavati for Kali Yuga's five thousand years and all the Devis would return to Vaikuntha thereafter. The occurrence of the curses among the Devis and the arrangements that were made about them by Shri Hari had some hidden meaning: even while there were several Tirthas in Bharat Varsha, there was a great need for some outstanding Rivers and Punya Kshetras where not only devotees of Shri Hari, but even hopeless sinners and 'Nastiks' (athiests) should have possibilities for self-improvement. That was the reason for the emergence of these Sacred and sinwashing Rivers for quick-if not instant- relief to them. Bhagavan Vishnu indicated that there were several persons, who thrived on cheating, making false promises, social parasites, promise breakers, 'Vishwaas ghaatis', givers of wrong and misleading evidences, occupiers of others' properties and belongings; those who discard parents and blood-relatives; swindle or forcibly bamboozle others etc. The purpose of the Sacred Tirthas like Ganga, Padma and Saraswati was thus to exonerate and correct such misled persons to reform them.

Sarga Forty five: Crossing Ganga, Rama approaching Vaishali asked about Deva Danavas

Vishleshanason Kashyapa and Diti and Aditi; Masya Purana: on Kurmaavatara, 'Amrita Mathana',

Kaalakuta and Devi Mohini; Maha Bhagavatga Purana: Mammoth Churning of Ocean for 'Amrit')

Vishleshana on Kashyapa Maharshi and Diti and Aditi: Brahmanda Purana describes: The progeny of

Kashyapa Maharshi thus represented the high-points of Virtue and Evil as though the Worlds were on

balance. Kashyapa's wives truly characterised the facets of the Positive and Negative Forces as reflected

in their offspring and their descendants: Aditirdharmashila tu Balasheelaa Ditistathaa, Tapahsheelaa tu Surabhirmaayaasheela Danustathaa/ Gandha --sheelaa Munischaiva Krodhaadhyayana shaalini/ Geetasheelahyarishtaa tu Krura sheelaa Khashaa smrutaa, Krodhasheelaa tathaa Kadruh Krodhaacha Shuchi shaalini/ Vaahasheelaa tu Vinataa Taamraa vai ghatashalini, Iraanagraha sheela tu hyanaayur – bhakshaney rataa/ Matrustulyaabhijaatascha Kashyapaatmajaa Prabho!(Devi Aditi is a natural epitome of Virtue; Diti is a sign of Might and Valour; Surabhi is a Tapaswini and the mother of cows and buffalos; Danu is a Mayavati and the mother of Daanavas; Muni is a Gandha Shila; Krodha is Adhyana Sheela; Arishta is a Geeta sheela or has an aptitude for music; Khasa is a symbol of cruelty and wickedness; Kadru is the representation of anger and revenge; Krodha is a natural icon of Purity; Vinata is prone to Vahanas and thus the mother of the illustrious Garuda Deva the Vehicle of Vishnu Bhagavan and Aruna Deva the Charioteer of Surya Deva; Tamra Devi is a byword of Evil and immorality and the mother of Raakshasas; Ira is the emblem of kindness and morality; and Anayu stands for pleasure and enjoyment. These are the natural characteristics of the wives of Kashyapa Muni as truly reflected in their offspring too. Indeed, Kashyapa Vamsha stood for Dharma, Kshama, Buddhi, Satpravartana and Competence on one side and Adharma, Jealousy, Ignorance, Misbehavior, Viciousness, Cruelty, and utter depravity on the other! It produced Devas, Danavas, Rakshsaas, Yakshas, Piscachaas, Gandharvas, Apsaras, Sarpas, Pashu-Mriga-Pakshi-Vriksa-Lataas. All these features are amply manifested among Manavas and are deeply immersed in the whirlpool of Samsara- at times displaying virtue and at other times demonstrating viciousness as they are always targetted with the grand mix of the Satvika-Raajasica and Tamasika Gunas; they are ostensibly motivated by the Chaturvidha Purusharthaas of Dharma-Artha-Kaama-Moksha!

Maharshi Vishvamitra then explained to Shri Rama that both Daityas and Devatas had both sought 'Amaratva' of Longevity for ever. But the question got raised as to who should become eligible for the 'amaratva'. Then both Daityas and Devatas decided to execute 'Ksheera Sagara Mathana' or the churning of the Ocean of Milk. (Of the Sapta Samudras Lavana or Salt, Ikshurasa or Sugarcane juice, Sura or Wine, Ghrita or Classified Butter, Dahi or Curd, Ksheera or Milk and Suswada or Sweet Water, Ksheera Sagara on which Maha Vishnu himself is stated to flout as resting on Adi Shesha was decidedly the best). Thus having resolved both Devas and Daityas along with their respective characteristics of Dharma and Adharma. (Aditi, Diti, Danu, Arishta, Surasa, Khasa, Surabhi, Vinata. Tamra, Krodhavasha, Ila, Kadru and Muni.; Diti's sons were the daityas, danavas and Rakshasaas). Having decided thus they mutually approached Vaasuki Sarpa to be the massive belt of Mandharaachala for the gigantic task. [Vasuki: Underneath Bhumi are the Nether Worlds viz. Atala, Vitala, Sutala, Talaatala, Rasatala, Mahatala and Patala. The soil in Atala is stated to be of black soil, of Vitala the ground was of palewhite, Sutala of blue, Talatala of yellow colour, Rasatala of gravel covered ground, Mahatala of Rocky Ground and of Patala of Gold. The Palaces of Asuras of Namuchi the enemy of Mahendra, besides of other demons like Mahananda, Kabandha, Bhima, Suladanta, Dhanjaya, Nagendra were all glittering exampes of opulence and material happiness in Atala and other Lokas. In Sutala were the noted Daitya-Rakshasa-Serpent Kings like Mahajambha, Karbandha, Hayagriya, Nikumbha, Bhima, Suladanta, Dhananjaya, Nagendra, Kalia and so on. Shankha, Gomukha, Kakutpada, Asvatara, Kambala, Takshaka stayed at Vitala; Prahlada, Taraka, Puranjana etc were in Rasatala; Kalanemi, Gajakarna were in Mahatala; and among other illustrious serpents Maha Sesha and Vaasuki were stated to be in Patala. It was Vaasuki who was tied all around the Mandhara mountain as the churner and Kurma Vishnu as the balancer at the time of Amtita Mathana!] As both the parties of Devas on one side of Vasuki holding the serpent's tail with dharmic awareness and Daityas with 'ahamkara' or self ego holding the head of Vasuki got positioned for the churning. In the process, multitudes of Daityas perished as being burnt off by the poisonous flames emitted from the mouth of the Vasuki Snake. As the churning of the Ocean thus having progressed, there appeared on the high skies a massive poisonous fire ball called 'halaahala' and threatened to have brought earth into ash. Atha Devaa Mahadevam Shankaram sharanaarthiah, jagmuh Pashupati Rudram traahi traaheeti tushtuvuh/ As all the Devas collected at the tail side of Vaasuki made a desperate appeal to Pashupati Rudra, the latter responded to the prayers even as Maha Vishnu too appeared but appealed to Maha Shiya stating that as the ultimate of the univeres the latter should kindly gulp up the 'halahalaagni'

in upright standing posture. Then Halaahalam visham ghoram sanjagnaahaamritopamam/ Maha Deva being Mrityunjaya retained the most poisonous 'halaahalaagni' in his throat- lest the lokas in his stomach be not get dislocated with the poisonous flames. Maharshi Vishvamitra then addressed Raghunandana and further explained that the mammot task of Ksheera Sagara Mathana continued. But then followed another havoc as Mandhara Mountain slipped down into Pataala under the Ocean of Milk. Devatas and Gandharvas as were participating in the task of churning made a frantic appeal to Maha Vishnu to save and pull the mountain falling down so that they might not all be crushed under the weight of the mountain. Iti shrutyaa Hrisheekeshah kaamatham rupamaasthitah paryatam prushthatah krityaa shishaye trayodadhou Harih/In response to the frantic appeals my Devas placed at the side of the tilt of the gigantic mountain, Maha Vishnu had spontaneously assumed the incarnation of Kurma the massive tortoise so that the mountain could be balanced thereon of its topped up hardness. Some thousand years of churning thereafter, then appeared <u>Dhanvantari</u> the personification of Ayurveda with a 'danda' or handstick on one hand and a Kamandalu or vessel of pure water (stated to be of Vishnu himself depicted with four hands, with one of them carrying Amrita, and the other holding shanka- chakra-and a leech!) as well as a group of Apsaras of outstanding physical beauty and charm. [Apsaras: The celestial dancers of feminine beauty and grace 'par excellence', skilled in dance and music, such as the ageless Rambha, Menaka, Menaka, Urvashi, Tilottama, Ghritaachi, Mishkarekshi, Vapu, Viprachitti, Purvachitti, Sahajanya, Karnika, Punjikasthala, Vishvachi and so on. Tilottama and Urvashi are believed among those Apsaras to have generated from the 'amrita mathana'. Apsaras are stated to be closely associated with celestial singers and musicians. At the time of Amrita Mathana, Indra Deva was believed to haved opted to enhance the elegance of his court. Apsaras enjoy the reputation or otherwise to have dislocated the tapsya of renouned Maharshis as Brahmarshi Vishvmitra him self was a case in point!] These Apsaras are stated to be of sixty crore strong, nay countless! But none of the Apsaras could ever be the formal wives of maharshis, deva daanavas or of terrestial or celestial beings, except for casual sex. Then further 'samudra mathana' resulted in the creation of Vaarunis who were ever intoxicated by wines and hard liquor always in search of husbands but only the celestials but not of vicious daityas. In fact the term of 'Sura' was always used in the context of Devas and the rest of Celestials, and 'Asuras' were those denied of drinking wine and other intoxicants! That was the reason of Vaaruni Devataas getting readily attracted to Devas! As the churning progressed, Ucchaishtava the best of horses, and Koustubha the best of priceless diamonds emerged. As the ever full pot of Amrita became visible in the hands of Dhanvantari, there was a stampede and fierce battle opened as that indeed was the ulitimate and ambitious target of Samudra Mathana! Innumerable Deva Danavas perished in the open and all out war, Lord Vishnu took to the mesmerising form of Mohini Devi and the huge battle of Deve-Asuras ceased suddenly. She then brought in a truce and made them seated in groups on either side - ostensibly, with a view to orderly distributing the 'ambrosia' for which the all out endeavour for thousands of years got climaxed to a reality! While distributing amrita, Vishnu in the form of Mohini Devi distributed amrit to Devas totally, and from the side of Danava Daityas as the distribution was about to be ended by Devi Mohini, two of the daityas viz. Rahu and Ketu stealthily shifted over the group of Devas. The omniscient Vishnu as Mohini patronized Rahu and Ketu did recieve drops of the elixir and joined the group of Nava grahas, for subtle reasons. Ther after Indra retained the seat of kingship of Svarga as Rishis and other Devatas were pleased too.

[References fromMatsya Purana and Maha Bhagavata on Samudra Mathana:

Masya Purana: on Kurmaavatara, 'Amrita Mathan', Kaalakuta and Devi Mohini:

As Danava Guru Shukracharya secured Sanjeevani Vidya from Maha Deva after thousands of penance and meditation to enable Danavas and Daityas the restore their lives, especially after their killings in battles with Devas, there were series of victories of Danavas and all the like minded evil forces, while Injustice and Vice prevailed in suppression of Virtue, Justice and Peace. In response to a delegation of Devas led by Indra and Deva Guru, Brahma appealed against passion for battles and enemities. He also called King Bali the Head of Daityas and Danavas and to refrain from frequent quarrels with Devas and

suggested a Master Plan for the mutual benefit of Devas, Gandharvas and like minded allies on the one hand and Daityas, Danavas, Rakshaas, Nagas and Yakshas on the other. The Plan proposed by Brahma was follows: Both Daityas and Devas should jointly organise the Project of 'Kshira Sagara Mathana'; approach Vishnu under the leadership of King Bali to revive the Form of 'Kurma' (Tortoise) present in Palala loka; request Mandarachala or the Mountain of Mandara to be the churning rod; pray to 'Sehsha Nag'or the Giant Serpent who bears the weight of the entire Universe to be the long and strong rope to be used for the churning. As planned the joint delegation prayed to Bhagavan Kurma liyng in Patala loka first and the latter agreed readily saying: Thrailokya dhaarineynaapi na glanir-mama jaayatey, Kimu Mandarakaat Kshudraat gutikaa samnibhaadiha/ (I have no problem in holding the MandharaMountain for this noble cause as this so like a pebble for me!) Later on when the delegation approached Sesha Nag, he replied: Brahmanda veshtinaanaapi Brhahmaanda mathanenavaa, Na mey glanirbhaved dehey kimu Mandara vartaney! (If I could bear the brunt of the Universe what is the problem in holding it while churning and rotating it!). At that time, Kurma Deva was right underneath the Mountain, but neither Daityas nor Devas could rotate the mountain much less churn it. The delegation reached Vaikuntha and prayed to Vishnu under the Leadership of Bali, when Vishnu was in Yoga Nidra lying on Sesha Nag on Ksheera Samudra, as follows: Namo loka trayadhaksha tejasaa jita bhaskara, Namo Vishno Namo Jishno Namastey Kaitabhardana/ Namah sargakriyaakartrey Jagatpaalayatey Namah, Rudrarupaaya Sharvaaya Namah Samharakaariney/ Namah Shulaayudhadhrushya Namo Daanava-ghaatiney, Namah Trayaakranta Trailokyaayaabhavaaya cha/Namah Prachanda Daitreyndrakulakaala mahaanala, Namo naabhihrudodbhuta padmagarbha Mahabala/ Padmabhuta Mahabhuta karthrey hatrey Jagatpriya, Janitaa Sarvalokesha kriyaa kaarana kaariney/ Amaraari vinaashaaya Mahaasamara shaaliney, Lakshmi mukhaabja madhupa namah keerti nivaasiney/ Asmaakamamaratwaaya ghritayaam ghriyataa mayam, Mandarah Sarvashailaanaamayutaatayaayuta vistrutah/ Anantabala baahu bhyamavasht abhaika paaninaa, Madhyataamamrtutam Deva Swadhaa Swaadhaartha kaaminam/ (Bhagavan Vishnu, Jishnu, Trilokaadhyaksha! our sincere greetings to you; You are the famed demolisher of Kaitabha; The Creator, the Presever and also the Destroyer of the whole world with Trishula in your hands; You expanded and occupied in merely three steps of yours all the Three Lokas; You are like the Agni who put the total 'Vamsha' or the race of the frightful of Daitya Clan into flames and ash; You materialised Brahma from the lotus of your navel; You are the Jagatkarta, Harta and Priya; the Karya, Karana and Karta or the Deed, the Doing and the Doer; Our endeavours are due to create 'Amrit' for 'Amaratwa' or everlasting life; kindly enable with your mighty arms the 'Manthana' or churning of the Madarachala in the Ksheera Sagara!) As Bhagavan agreed to do so and initiated the circling of Sesha Nag around the Mountain, the Daityas and Danavas out of bravado held the head of Sesha Nag's thousand mouths that emitted poisonous flames and many of them perished even before the process of churning; Devas on the other hand held the tail and manouvered it. As both the churning got momentum, both the Parties were extremely tried and Indra materialised cool showers to reduce the tiresomeness. Lord Brahma alerted and encouraged with cheerings and heartening remarks periodcally to both the facedrawers and tail-enders of the Sesha Nag. As the churning of the ten thousand voiana wide Mountain continued, from its top fell down several groups of elephants, eight-footed Sharabha animals, wild lions, tigers, boars and bears, crores of fearful poisonous reptiles, besides heavy and tall trees, branches, fruits, leaves, medicinal herbs and plants into the Ocean. The resultant pulp of the 'Manthan' of the materials dropped from the Mountain produced 'Varuni' and its envigorating smell pleased Devas and Danavas and became refreshed and mightier; the speed of churning pepped up and Bhagavan Vishnu held the sides of the Mountain by his shoulders-grip and the radiance of the jewels on the thousand hoods was reflected on the blue dazzle of Vishnu's shoulders and hands looking like a 'Brahma danda' even as thousands of roars and lightnings emerged from the defeaning sounds of clouds above and sky-rise sea tides below. From the tail side of the Sesha Nag, Indra, Aditya, Rudragana, Vasugana, and other Devas were getting more and more active while the Rakshasa ganas including the powerful Viprachit, Namuchi, Vritra, Shambar, Dwimurtha, Vajradamshtra and Rahu, all headed by King Bali were displaying their respective energies with arrogance and self-pride. In the process countless animals, fishes, reptiles and othe varieties of Seas and the under-Sea Beings were destroyed in millions. Unfortunately however there was no

indication of the much awaited 'Amrit' and all the Parties concerned were fully exhausted and disappointed. They all in one voice of unanimity prayed to Bhagavan Vishnu once again and the Lord assured them: Balam dadaami sarveshaam karmaitad ye samaasthitaah, Kshubhyataam kramashahSarvair Mandarah parivartataam/ (To all the persons involved in this Manthana Venture, I am according 'Shakti'herewith and all concerned should perform their maximum from now on). As the action had improved mani-fold now, there was Purna Chandra, who emerged with the illumination of hundred Survas yet with extraordinary coolness that would readily bring about breezy freshness to the whole world. Then Devi Lakshmi was materialised with considerable grace and gorgeousness who desired to opt for Bhagavan Vishnu; she was followed by Sura Devi and Ucchaishwa and these were granted by Asuras to Indra as they were rather keen only for Amrita. Then followed the emergence of Koustubh Mani and that was gifted away to Vishnu to adorn the ornament on his broad chest. Further on, there was a *Parijata* Vriksha, which had bunches of flowers whose intoxicating fragrance filled up all over the gardens of Swarga. Eventually, there occurred dense and blue smoke which appeared all over the Ocean and reached the sky as well, when all the participants of the Churning were unable to increasingly bear it and had to temporarily call off the action as there were poisonous flames and fumes surrounding them, choking them all and killing several of them. Meanwhile, a highly frightful figure making terrible noises descended from the pitch dark clouds; as Daityas and Devas were frrightened to the core and Bhagavan Vishnu interrogated that horrendous figure as to who that it was! The reply came to Vishnu that it was KAALAKUTA VISHA and that could devour the whole Universe instantly, that it emerged pursuant to the huge scale churning of Ksheera Samudra and that all the participants should at once take the refuge of Maha Deva. The panicky Deva-Danavas as well as Brahma and Vishnu made a bee-line to a GoldenCayeon the top of MandaraMountain which too was a Principal participant of the Manthana Drama. At the Entry Gate of 'Shiva Nivasa', Ganeswara took Maha Deva's permission to let the agitated Devotees in as they all in a chorus commended Shiva (Shiva Stuti) as follows: Namah Virupaksha Namestey Divyachakshusey/ Namah Pinaaka hastaaya Vajrahastaaya dhanviney/ Namah trishula hastaaya Dandahastaaya Dhurjatey, Namastrailokya naathaaya Bhutagraama shareeriney/ Namah Suraari hantrey cha Somaagnya kaaryagnya chakshushey, Brahmaney chaiva Rudraaya Namastey Vishnu –rupeney/Brahmaney Vedarupaaya Namastey Deva rupiney, Saamkhya yogaaya Bhutaanaam Namastey Shaambhayaaya tey/ Manmathaayaanga vinaashaaya Namah Kaalakshayankara, Ramhasey Deva Devaaya Namastey Vasuretasey/ Eka Viryaya Sarvaaya Namah Pinga kapardiney, Uma bhartrey Namastubhyam Yagna Tripura ghaatiney/ Shuddha bodha prabuddhaaya Muktakaiyalya rupiney, Lokatraya vidhhatrecha Varunendraagni rupiney/ Rugyasussama rupaaya Purushaayeswaraaya cha, Agraaya chaiya chograaya Vipraay Shurti chakshusey/ Rajasey chaiya Satyaaya Tamasey Timiraamaney, Anintya nityabhaayaaya namo nityacharaatmaney/ Vyaktaaya chai vyaktaaya Vyaktaayyaktaanaya vai namah, Bhaktaanaamaarti naashaaya Priyanaraayanaayacha/ Umaapriyaaya Sharvaaya Nandivaktraaschitaaya cha, Rutu manvata kalpaaya Paksha maasa dinaatmaney/ Nanaarupaaya Mundaaya Varuutha Pruthu dandiney, Namah Kapaalahastaaya Digvaasaaya Shikhandiney/ Dhaniney rathiney chaiya yatayey Brahmachaariney, Ityeyamaadi charitaih stutantu tubhyam namo namah/ (Virupaaksha! Divya netradhaariney! Our obeisances to you; you carry Pinaka, Vajra and Dhanush; our reverences to you! Jataadhaari! you hold Trishula and Danda in your hands, our sincere respects to you; You are the Trilokanatha and the Swarupa of all 'Pranis' / Beings; our greetings to you the annihilator of 'Deva Shatrus'; the Possessor of 'Chandraagni Surya Rupas' as also of Brahma, Vishnu and Rudra Rupas'; You are the Swarupas of Brahma, Veda an Rudra Rupas; You are also the Sankhya Swarupa and the unique provider of Propitiousness to all the Beings; You are the destroyer of Kamadeva's physique of love and the terrminator of Kaala Deva; You are the Vegashali, Devadhi Deva and Vasureta; Sarva Shreshtha, Vira, Sarva Swarupa and wearer of the yellow coloured 'Jataas'/ twisted hair; Umanatha, Tripura Vinaashaa! The Epitome of Pure Form of 'Jnaana'/ knowledge; Triloka Vidhata; The Swarupa of Varuna, Indra, Agni; the Rupa of Ruk, Yajur and Sama; Purushottama, Parameswara, Sarva Sreshtha, Bhayankara, Brahmana Swarupa; the Possessor of Satwa, Rajasa and Tamasa Gunas; Andhakaara Rupa, Achintya, Nitya, Nityacharaatma; Perceivable and Unperceivable; the demolisher of the difficulties of Devotees; the Great Friend of Narayana, the beloved of Devi Uma; The Great Terminator; The shine of

Nandeswara's countenance; the Unique Measures of Time like Manyantaras, Kalpas, Ritus, Months, Fortnights, Weeks and Days; the Activiser of Myriad Rupas / Forms; of the Shaven Head; Digambara/ Sanyasi/ Brahmachaari, Maha Shankara! Our prostrations to you; Maha Deva! You are the only Supreme Energy which could gulp the 'Kalakuta Visha'; if uncontrolled; it could devour the Universe as a whole!). As the Deva-Daanava's joint delegation prostrated before Bhagavan-which incidentally was a historical event of unique significance, Shankara agreed: Bhakshayishyaamyaham ghoram kalakutam Maha visham, Tathaanyadapi yatkruthyam kruchhasaadhyam Surasuraah, Tacchaapi saadhayishyaami tishthadhwam vigatajjwaraah/ (Deva Suraagana! I am no doubt consuming this terrible poison anyway; if you entrust me any other worse and more difficult deeds to be performed, they too would be executed; never worry!) By so saying, Bhagavan took the 'Halaahala Visha' into his left hand and consumed and retained it in his throat as Devas headed by Brahma as also Asuras led by King Bali hailed Parameshwara exclaimed: Shobhatey Deva Kathastey gaatrey kundaniprabho, Bhrungaamaalaanibham Kanthepyathraivaastu visham tawa/ (Devadeva! As your Physique is white, slender and fragrant like a jasmine flower while the blue tinge of your throat has a remarkably distinct-look with the spot on your throat; please do retain it as it is!) All the concerned parties involved in the 'Operation Amrit' returned back to their respective positions once again anxiously awaiting the materialisation of Amrit. In the final exercise of Churning the 'Ksheera Sagara', Bhagavan *Dhanvantari*, the Deity of 'Ayurveda' surfaced along with the most awaited Pot of Amrit; then followed the Large and Attractive Eyed *Devi Madira* the symbol of Intoxication; Kamadhenu the celestial cow which fulfilled the desires of any Living Being got materialised later on; the Celestial Elephant Iravata which Indra Deva claimed; Surya Deva accepted Dhanvatari as also the Ucchaishvraya horse that came up even earlier; Varuna Deva claimed the Celestial *Chhatra* (umbrella) and as Indra desired the Kundala Dwaya or the magnifecent Ear-Rings. At this juncture, Dhanvantari declared AMRITA and then commenced an all-out scuffle between Devas and Daityas making claims and counter claims. The fight assumed larger proportions as Bhagavan Vishnu materialised Mohini Devi and the demons became victims of Maya -Illusion-as they were completely enchanted by her and allowed her to distribute the Elixir. In this confusion, Mohini let Devas seize the Eternal Pot and they drank it off one by one; one Asura viz. Rahu however managed to consume the drops of Amrit upto his throat and as Surva and Chandra shouted against Rahu, Vishnu in a swift action cut off the Demon's throat by his Sudarshana Chakra, but the damage was already done and Rahu became immortal, all though all the rest of Asuras were denied of the Divine Drink. This followed fierce battles between Devas and Danavas and there was extensive massacre and blood-bath when innumerable Danavas and Daityas suffered losses and Devas became victorious under the stewardship of Bhagavan Vishnu. The left-over Danava-Daitya Stalwarts disappeared into the Oceans to retire into Patala Loka. There after, Mandarachala was restored to its original position; so did Sesha Nag and Sudarshana Chakra too. The havoc created in the Oceans too limped back to normalcy. The Dikpalakas, Devas, Gandharvas and all the Celestial Beings got reinstated and were extremely delighted and overjoyed. Tatomrutam sunihitameva chakrirey, Suraah Paraam tudamabhigamya pushklalaam/ Dadduscha tam nidhimamrutasya rakshitam, Kiritiney Balibhirathaamaraih saha/ (Thereafter, the Devaganas were gladdened to safeguard and hand over the 'Amrita Nidhi' /The Remaining Deposit of the Elixir to the custody of Bhagayan Vishnu himself.)]

Maha Bhagavatga Purana: Mammoth Churning of Ocean for 'Amrith' (Nectar)

Proceeding with the narration to King Parikshith, Suka Mahamuni highlighted that it was in the sixth millennium of Chakshusa Manu that Lord Vishnu had incarnated as Ajita who was begotten to Vairaja and Devasambhuti; Ajita in the form of a tortoise was wandering in the Ocean of Milk carrying the Mountain Mandhara on His back and produced 'Amrit' by churning the Ocean. Parikshith became highly inquisitive about the famous story and requested the Muni to give full details. As the enmity and intense hatred between the Demi- Gods and Demons took unprecedented proportions, the Demi-Gods assembled on the top of the SumeruMountain to seek a solution. Lord Brahma instructed the Devas and Demons to resort to a temporary truce, till arrangements could be made to churn the Ocean of Milk to obtain Amrit, the Divine Drink to provide everlasting life. Garuda, the Vehicle of Lord Vishnu lifted the MandharaMountain and placed it into the Ocean as the churning rod. Vasuki the Giant Serpent coiled

around the Mountain tightly; the head of the serpent was opted for by the Demons out of pride and the tail was taken by the Demi-Gods as the rope. As the Mountain was not stable and shaky, Ajita in the form of tortoise slid under the Mountain and provided the needed balance. Thus commenced the mammoth churning of the Ocean for 'Amrit'. Many Demons perished from the poisonous flames from the mouth of Vasuki. As the churning progressed, the Ocean was shaken up bringing out innumerable species underneath, black clouds emerged fast across the Sky and there was terrible turmoil alround. Suddenly, the Sky looked like breaking way, emitting unprecedented poisonous flames, 'Halahal', swiftly engulfing the entire Universe. The initial churning was terminated and Demi-Gods headed by Lord Brahma as well as the Demons screamed for help to Lord Siva to save the situation. They all prayed to Him that He was the original life force, the Maha Tatva, the Eternal Truth and the Omni Potent and He only could stop the annihilation of the Universe. In response to the desperate prayers by one and all, Lord Siva swallowed the 'Halahal' and retained it in His Throat to safeguard the Worlds within His other body parts. Thus known in the Sciptures; as 'Neela Greeva'-the Blue Throated, He protected the entire Universe and saved the act of Creation itself. As the process of churning resumed further, a number of Divine Figures commenced emerging: 'Surabhi' the Cow required for unending milk and products required for Sacred Rituals as oblations to Fire God by Sages; a Divine Horse, Utthaisvarya, as desired by King Bali of the Under World; the Divine Elephant 'Airavata' and eight She Elephants, which were desired by Indra to possess; Koustubha Mani and Padmaraga Mani-the jewels decorating Lord Vishnu's chest; 'Parijata Tree' to decorate the Celestial Gardens; then emerged Apsaras, the Divine dansueses to entertain Demi-Gods and Indra; the Goddess of Fortune, Lakshmi whom the Demi- Gods and Demons craved alike to possess but She Herself opted for Lord Vishnu Who is the ultimate Preserver of the Universe; then appeared the dame, Varuni, with voluptuous eyes who could control drunkards, whom King Bali opted for on behalf of the Demon World. Finally, a strong, stout, blackish and young person, known as Dhanvantari, the Physician of the Universe, whom both Demons and Demi- Gods agreed to share. But, the most awaited jar of Nectar noticed by the Demons was forcibly snatched away, to the disappointment of Demi-Gods. But, Lord Vishnu created a cover of 'Maya' (Illusion) and let the Demons fight among themselves for the sips of the Nectar. In the confusion, there appeared an outstanding beauty with most sonorous voice and dazzling figure, who was Lord Himself in the form of Mohini Murthi. She had mesmerised the Demons who fell in a spell and made them request her to do justice in equitably distributing the Nectar to all by turns. She made formations as per seniority and made them wait for turns. She started with the formations of the Demons, but by means of illusion had actually commenced the distribution among the Demi-Gods. Rahu a Demon somehow got into the camp of Demi- Gods and this was noticed by Sun and Moon, who complained the fact to Mohini Murthi and immediately the Sudarsana Chakra severed Rahu's head, but since he drank the drops of Nectar already, Lord Brahma gave him the status of a Planet; but since then, Rahu became the enemy of Sun and Moon and torment them periodically by way of eclipsing them till date. At this juncture, Lord Vishnu revealed his identity and exhorted the Demons to mend their diabolic actions and take refuge in the Superior Energy instead of becoming slaves of the Eight Materialistic Vices, Viz. Kama (Desire), Krodha (Anger), Moha (Infatuation), Mada (Arrogance), Lobha (Avarice) and Matsara (Jealousy). He advised that in the ultimate analysis, only He would provide salvation which tantamounts to Eternity, which indeed the Nectar that they craved for.]

Sarga Forty Six: Having failed to secure Amrit, Diti- daitya mother- seeks to destroy Indra Vishleshanas: Brahmanda Purana": Diti revengeful of Indra and 'Pumsavana' Sacrifice; Maha Bhagavata about Marud Ganas: As Diti fell asleep unconcsiously, Indra entered her Garbha with his 'Vajraayudha', saw the fully grown up boy inside, cajoled him saying 'don't cry, don't cry' and sliced the child into seven parts and further to forty nine sub-parts.

Vishleshana on Devi Diti and Indra from Brahmanda Purana and Maha Bhagavata Purana

<u>Brahmanda Purana": Diti revengeful of Indra and 'Pumsavana' Sacrifice : Diti felt that Indra was responsible for several killings of her progeny including Hirayaksha and Hiranuyakasipu and thus her</u>

anger for Indra became intense. She thus requested her husband Kasyapa to bless her with a son who could kill Indra. Sage Kasyapa felt extremely sad that his wife was following a wicked route to bear her a son to kill Indra. He somehow desired that such an eventuality should never arise and planned to atleast prolong time for a year and asked Diti to follow very strict regime of personal sacrifice named **Pumsavana**'. During the year, Diti should not think ill of others, nor speak lies, nor hurt any body, nor eat flesh or fish, nor wear robes unwashed by herself, but worship Brahmanas, cows, and women with husbands and sons alive, in short follow a life of a hermit. Any discrepancy or deviation from the prescribed do's and don'ts would not only kill Indra but would become a friend and associate. The nephew Indra knew the intention of Diti, but pretended to help her in the Daily Worships by fetching flowers and fruits to Diti and such other services. At the time of Diti's delivery after a year, Indra who had yoga sidhis, like 'anima' and 'laghima' entered Diti's womb and with the help of his 'Vjara' (the Thunderbolt) cut the embryo into seven pieces and cut each piece to another seven pieces. Each of the fortynine pieces thus born became as many 'Maruts' who became demigods and thus Diti was purified of her envy and animosity of Lord Indra. Punsavana had thus become an important 'Vrata' (a sacred ritualistic practice of worship) by chaste women for one year with the help and active association of their husbands. During the bright half of month of 'Kartika' (falling during November-December), there should be an intense worship by both the husband and wife. On the last day of Moon-rise (Purnamasi or Pournami), the climactic worship (pujas) should take place with friends and relatives participating in the event, under the guidance of Brahmanas, performing twelve oblations to Fire God with 'Ghee' in a ritualistic manner by chanting the Mantra: 'Om Bhagavatey Mahapurushaya Maha Vibhutaya Swaha'. During the entire preceding year too, the couple could -or atleast either of them- observe the prescribed daily worships to Goddess Lakshmi and God Narayana., by chanting the Mantra. Sincere worship on these lines ought to bless the couple and their family good health, prosperity, name alround and happiness. The Vrath can be done my unmarried women to secure good husbands; those who have no husbands/ sons could perform for spiritual solace.

Maha Bhagavata about Marud Ganas:

Since there were such continuous deaths of her family lineage, Diti was terribly upset as all the gallant heros of Daityas were destroyed successively despite the valiant acts of their intrepidity and resoluteness; she entreated Kashyapa Muni to bestow a boon to her that she must give birth to a son who could kill Indra. Kashyapa Muni too felt that the progeny of Aditi were getting too powerful enjoying Swarga while the progeny of Diti were continuously rotting in the Sub-terrain Lokas despite the fact that they were courageous and highly enterprising. Thus the Muni directed Diti to follow celibacy and fasting with concentrated Tapasya for thousand years and and worship the Supreme whereafter she should observe a 'Vrata'. Diti sought Shukraachaarya's direction to observe the Vrata. As Diti conceived eventually, Indra some how got the awareness of what was happening and approached Diti with feigned feelings of affection to his mother's own sister and made her agree to supply flowers and other materials for the Vrata and stayed with her day and night to protect her from Evil Spirits. As Diti fell asleep almost unconciously when Sun was at peak on the Sky, Indra then entered her Garbha with his 'Vajraayudha', saw the fully grown up boy inside and even as the child cried, Indra cajoled him saying Maaroda maaroda (don't cry, don't cry) and sliced the child into seven parts [Aavaha-Pravah-Samvaha-Udvaha-Vivaha-Parivaha-Paraavaha] and further cut the seven parts to total up to forty nine sub-parts; the fully awaken Diti Devi pleaded mercy and cried louldly saying: na hantavyah, na hantavyah! (not to be killed, not to be killed!). Meanwhile Indra jumped out and sought her pardon for the imprudence that he committed! The terribly distressed Diti was taken aback and got bewildered for a while and having recovered her senses said that Indra need not be afraid of her anger as she would reconcile to what had happened since after all his action was not unjustified as his position would have been at stake of the child was really born. Having said that most magnanimously she blessed each part of the killed boy as follows: Bhavantu mama Putraanaam Sapta Sthaanaani vai Divi, Vaataskandhaanimaansapta charantu mama Putrakaah/ (May my sons be borne by Vayu into seven eternal places of glory and be blessed as Marut

Devas with unprecedented splendour and reputation at seven parts of the Universe!)Diti declared further: Let the first sphere be on Earth, the second in Surya Mandala, the third in Chandra Mandala, the fourth on the Sky at the Jyotisha Mandala, the fifth among the Graha Mandala or the Planetary System, the sixth in the Saptarishi Mandala and the seventh in Dhruva Loka. May my sons move about freely in all the Seven Places with magnificence and pride. Diti further blessed and ordained that the first batch of Marud Ganaas or the first 'Vaata Skantha' or Air Pocket be called 'Avaha'in the vicinity of Bhumi; the second batch of the Vayu Skandha would be reputed as 'Prahava' beyond the clouds upto the Solar Region; the third and fourth batch of Marud Ganaas moving in the Lunar Mandala and underneath the Star Constellations, the Vayu Skandha would be fabled as 'Samvaha'; the fifth bunch of Marud ganaas reaching upto Planets would be distinguished as 'Vivahava'; let the sixth in the series climbing upto Saptarshi Mandala be popularised as 'Anuvaha' and the final hike nearby Dhruva Mandala be glorigied as 'Parivaha'. Oh Shakra! Let it be known all over the Universe that the names of my children on the basis of the deeds entrusted to each of the Ganas are: Shukra jyoti, Satya, Satya Jyoti, Chitra Jyoti, Jyotishmaan, Sutava, Chaitya; the second Gana would comprise Rutajit, Satyajit, Sushena, Sevajit, Sutamitra, Amitra, and Suramitra; the names of the third Ganaas would be Dhatu, Dhanada, Ugra, Bhima, Varuna, Abhiyuktaaksha, and Saahvya. The fifth Gana would have the names of Druk, Anadruk, Sirat, Druma, Vrikshaka, Mita, and Samita. The Shasthagana would have the names of Iruk, Purusha, Naanaadruk, Samachetana, Sammita, Samavrit and Prati harta. (Incidentally, Brahmanda Purana did not mention the other names). Indra assured that whatever Diti had stated would indeed be firmed up and that all the Forty Marud Ganaas would be share holders of Yagna bhaagas or the Authorised Consumers of the Sacrficial Offerings. They would also be his own brothers and the Co-Devataas!

Sarga Forty Eight and Nine : Sumati showed the way to Gautama Ashram en route Mithila. <u>Vishleshana:Indra assuming Gautama's form takes Ahalya to bed, the latter's wife - a supreme</u> PativrataGanesha Purana.

Vishleshana on Indra assuming Maharshi Gautama's form takes to bed Devi Ahalya, the latter's wife - a supreme PativrataGanesha Purana, Chapters 30-34: Brahmarshi Narada states: He visited Lord Indra at Amaravati as the former complimented Narada as a Triloka Sanchari; Narada replied that his latest was 'mrityuloka' and chanced to meet Rishi Gautama in his ashram along with his wife Devi Ahalya; he also said that Ahalya was supremely pretty and her exquisiteness and grace was 'par excellence' in the Three Lokas that he ever visited as the Apsraas and all the Swarga based feminine beauty and charm was truly negligible. After Narada's social call was over, Indra visited Gautama's ashram; the Maharshi was busy with his morning duties and left the ashram. Meanwhile Indra assumed the Rishi's form and entered their bedroom. Devi Ahalya was stunned to see Maya Gautama in her bed room and exclaimed whether the Muni had not left for the duties but lying in the bed. Indra in the maya rupa said that he short circuited the puja and desired to go into bed with her as he was attacked by 'kaama baana', fondled her red and luscious and body parts and slept with her as she replied that there would be no other stree dharma as she ought to be a Pativrata and chirruped: Karyeshu Dasi, Karaneshu Manthri; Bhojeshu Mata, Shayaneshu Rambha, Roopeshu lakshmi, Kshamayeshu Dharitri, Shat dharmayukta, Kuladharma Patni/ and fell into the bed of Maayayi Gautama! Then Indra showed his own form and Arundhati was astonished and shocked as a stone. Even in the bed she felt a doubt that the body which she fondled was of different odour. As Indra disappeared, she was lost in thoughts. As the husband returned, she fell straight at his feet as the Maharshi out of his 'divya drishti'/ celestial vision as what all had happened. He stated that: In respect of mantra-ayush-grihacchidra especially related to griha parivaara, rati karma-aoushadhi sevamaana sammaan as also avamaan and daama, a wise person should be discreet in advertising in public. Thus the Maharshi gave a 'shaap' to Devi Ahalya to turn into a stone since Ahalya was unable to distinguish the form- nature-and actions in comparison to a Para purusha and got mixed up with the his body parts and semen- albeit Indra was the Lord of Swarga. Then he gave a shaap to his dharma patni to instantly become a stone till such time Lord Shri Rama, in the course of vana vaasa would receive his 'paada sparsha'. On learning about the Maharshi's shaap, Indra got shivers like a sand storm got shatterd

by a mountain and instantly assumed the form of a cat and ran away from the scene. Realising that Indra fled away, the Maharshi cursed Indra to assume a swarupa as broken into thousand parts. As Indra who killed Vritraasura a Brahmana was carrying the ill- reputation of brahmana hatya, one of the Pancha Maha Paatakas of Stree hatya, Bhruna / Shishu hathya, Brahmana hatya, Go hatya and Guru hatya / Guru Bharya Gamana, realised that the shaap of Maharshi Gautama and rued deeply as to how could show up his face in Deva Sabha as he was expected to preach the principles of dharma while unable to observe and follow himaself, let alone enforce it! Indra decided: Praanibhir bhujyate karma shubham vaashubham, tiryag yonim samaadaadya khapishyeghamaatmanah, nalinee kundmale tishtheheen idragopagaruupadhruk/All the 'jeeva rasis' in srishti- from Indra to an insect-ought to reap the fruits of their past acts and as such I ought to assume tirvak yoni or the form of a 'pashu pakshi keetaka' and thus decide to become a worm as an Indragopa keetaka.' [Reference on Pativratas: Sapta Pativratas: Ahalya, Draupadi, Sita, Tara, Mandodari, Anasuya and Sumati: An explanation of a Parivrata refers to Ahalya though she slept with Indra but she had her husband Muni Gautama was genuinely on her mind and when turned into a stone due to Gautama's Shaap Rama purified her too for her dereliction due to her ignorance; **Draupadi** though she married Pancha Pandavas since all the Pandavas were of the Amsha of Indra whose virility was distributed to Devi Kunti through Yama Dharmaraja to beget Yudhishtara, Vayu Deva to beget Bhima, Arjuna from his (Indra's) own and Ashwini Kumars from Devi Maadri as Nakula and Sahadeva apart from the fact that Draupadi was Indra's better half viz Sachi Devi who was originally Yagneshani the daughter of Agni as clarified in Markandeya Purana; Devi Sita despite Ravana's pressure tactics had only Rama always; Devi **Tara** the wife of Vaali but the Tradition of Kishkindha allowed Sugriva to marry after Vaali's death as approved by Rama himself and Mandodariof course was a fixation on Ravanasura despite his infatuation with Sita; Anasuya the wife of Atri and the the illustrious Kardama Prajapati; Sumati who was an outstanding Pativrata who adored her husband a Leper and even prostrated before a woman whom her husband desired to sleep with.] As Indra hid himself as a Indragopa Keetaka, Deva Guru Brihaspati and Devas approached Maharshi Gautama with the sincere prostrations and requested him to withdraw the shaap or atleast mitigate it. The Maharshi initially reacted stating that a person of Indra's stature as he was a kapati-shatha-dushta-aviveki-and pashchaattaapa rahita paapi and his paschaattapa would be futile. Yet, as you are all urging sincerely then Indra even in the keetaka form be taught with the Shadakshara Ganesha Mantra as Ganesha was always a 'sarva karta-sarva harta-sarvapaata-kripaanidhi-Brahmavishnu Shivaatmika and Mahasiddhi pradaayaka'. The vidhivatra Shadakshara Ganesha Mantra pleased Indra and the Gautama shaapa to Indra got diluted and hence forward Indra would hence forward would assume a divya deha become a sahasra netra instead of 'shasra shareera chheda'. Indra while assuming his normal swarupa- albeit with mitigated curse by Gautama, had foremost reached the Maharshi's feet and thanked him profusely. There after, Indra seated under a kadamba tree, practised Ganesh'a shadakshara mantra for thousand years and Ganesha gave his benign darshan and blessed him as that the place, came to be famed as Kadambara Chintaa Mani pura and eversince that the Chintamani Sarovara had become reputed as a place as the abode of Abheeshta Siddhi Chintaamani Vinayaka where Indra Himself contructed a huge temple with a sphatika murti with golden frame.

Sarga Fifty Eight-Nine-Sixty: Trishanku desires to reach swarga being mortal and Vishvamitra creates a mid- sky swarga with his tapo bala; <u>Vishleshana: Vishvamitra creates Trishanku swarga</u>

<u>Vishleshana on Vishvamitra- Trishankhu swarga: Skanda Purana's Nagara Khanda describes a modified version:</u>

King Trishanku of Surya Vamsa made an odd request to the his Guru Sage Vasishtha that he would like to go to Swarga with his mortal body and that such a Yagna be performed enabling him to do so. Vasishtha ridiculed the idea and the King asked the Sage's sons to find a way out, lest he might abandon Vasishtha as his Guru; the infuriated sons cursed the King to turn out to be a 'chandala' of low caste. The frustrated Trishankhu in the form of a chandala left the Kingdom making way for his son Harischandra as the King and wandered in forests where he met Sage Viswamitra who took up the issue

as a challenge, especially because he was a traditional competitor and enemy of Vasishtha. The Sage asked that Trishanku should first get rid of the form of a chandal and desired him to perform a Holy Pilgrimage. As both of them were set on visiting Tirthas, they reached Arbudachal (Abu) to visit 'Achalaswar' and met Markandeya who advised them to take a trip to Haatakeswar and take bath in the Patala Ganga there. To their great surprise, the Snaan and worship at that place did the miracle and Trishanku got rid of the curse of his becoming a chandala. Even as Trishanku was preparing to perform a Grand Yagna, the Sage approached Lord Brahma to be the Chief Guest who refused saying that it was against the realm of possibility that a human in his form could reach Swarga. This nodoubt frustrated Trishanku as also Viswamitra but the latter never gave up the effort and did harsh Tapasya to Bhagavan Siva who out of generosity granted the boon of ability to duplicate the task of Brahma's Creation; the Sage succeeded in creating another Sun, Moon, Sky, Air, Water etc. Indeed the parallel Srishti panicked Brahma and the compromise reached was that if Brahma took Trishanku to Swarga in the latter's mortal body; Viswamitra would refrain from making a parallel creation.

Sargas Sixty One and two: Ambarisha performs Yagjna at Pushkara but as sacrifice animal was stolen, a 'nara pashu boy' was arranged - Vishvamitra took pity but to no avail; got entangled instead by co-Munis. Vishleshana on Pushkara Tirtha from Kurma- Padma Puranas and Maha Bharata. on Pushkara Tirtha(Rajasthan): Kurma Maha Purana in its 24th chapter on Tirtha Mahatmya narrates: Tirtham Tri- Loka vikhyatam Brahmaanah Parameshthinah, Pushkaram Sarva paapaghnam mritaanaam Brahma lokadam/ Manasaa sasmared yastu Pushkaram vai dwijottamah, Puyare paatakaih sarvaih Shakrena saha modate/ Tatra Devaah sugandharvaah sayakshoragaa raakshasaah, Upaasate siddbha sankhaa Brahmaanam Padma sambhavam/ Tatra snaatvaa bhavecchudro brahmaanam parameshthinam, Pujayitwaa dwijavaraan Brahmaanam samprapashyati/ Tatraabhigamya Devesham Puruhutam anininditam, Sarupo jaayate martyah sarvaan kaamaanavaapnuyaat/ (Parameshthi Brahma's Pushkara named Tirtha is popular all over the Tri-Lokas, as that outstanding Tirtha is at once sin destroying and to those who die there bestows Brahma Loka. Those Dwijottamas sincerely memorise the name of Pushkar are blessed with instant relief of blemishes and enjoy celestial happiness along with Indra the King of Devas. This Pushkar Tirtha is such as worshipped by Gandharva-Yaksha- Naaga-Rakshasa-Siddha companies worship the Lotus seated Brahma directly and to the distinguished Brahmanas who sincerely venerate him so in his presence with Bahyaantara Shuchi or Internal and External cleanliness, 'Brahma Saakshatkaara' does happen in reality. Having undertaken a sincere and faithful Yatra to this Pushkara and secure the celestial vision of blemishless Indra too, then fulfillment of one's desires and aspirations is very easy to obtain indeed.)

Both Padma Maha Purana and Maha Bharata asserted: Dushkaram Pushkaram gantum Pushkare tapah, Dushkaram Pushkare daanam vastum chaiva sudushkaram/ Treeni shringaani shubhraani treeniprasavanaani cha, Pushkaraanyaadi siddhhaani na vidyastatra kaaranam/ (Pushkar Yatra is indeed troublesome and is available by one's own good luck; Residing-giving away daana-performing meditation etc. at Pushkar too are rather difficult to accomplish. Yet visit to Pushkar the enlightening 'Tirtha Traya' where Sarasvati River too flows is indeed a Siddha Maha Tirtha for reasons yet unknown) Yathaa Suraanaam sarveshaamaadistu Purushottamah, Tathaiva Pushkaram Raajastirthaanaamaadir - upyate/ Yastu Varsha shatam Purnamaadagnihotramupaacharet, Kartikaam vaa vasedekaam Pushkare samameva tat/ (Just as among Devas Purushottama Vasudeva is the most superior, Pushkara is the unique among all the Tirthas. [Pushkar, Kurukshetra, Gaya, Ganga, Prabhasa are the Pancha Titrhas and Manasarovara in Tibet, Pushkar, Bindu Sarovara in Siddhapur, Narayana Sarovar in Kutch Region and Pampa sarovara near Hospet are the Pancha Sarovaras]. The outcome of hundred years of Agnihotra Upasna on the one hand and residing and worshipping at Pushkara Tirtha on a Kartika Purnima night are

near equivalent.) Padma Purana explains the legendary background of the Pushkara Tirtha: At very beginning of 'Vishwa Srishti' of Universal Creation, there was a Rakshasa named Vajra naabha who was engaged in the most cruel and wreckless activities; Brahma meanwhile emerged from the Naabhi (Navel) of Vishnu and the latter's first wish was to perform Yagna and landed at Pushkar even with a part of the stem of the Padma / Lotus with which he killed Vajra naabha. As the lotus was discarded by him, there got a Lake manifested on the banks of which Brahma performed the first ever Yagnya. He carved out aYagna Vedi in the vacant plot between three Holy Areas viz. Sarasvati in the west, Chandra nadi in the North and Nandana sthaan in the East and the region in between as the Yagna Vedi; he created three Pushkar Tirthas viz. Jyeshtha-Madhyama-Kanishtha. All the Maharshis who made their Ashrams and Devas arrived and Bhagavan Shankar as Kapaladhari too arrived. But Devi Savitri delayed and since the Muhurta to commence the Yagna was round the corner, Brahma created Devi Gayatri and married her as meawhile on noticing Gayatri left in an angry huff to a nearby mountain and performed another Yagna on the mountain top. It was stated that Lord Varaaha got manifested from Brahma's nostril top. Thus, at the present Pushkar Tirtha, besides Brahma, Gayatri, Varaha Bhagavan, Kapaleshwara Shiva, Savitri on the Mountain top, and Agastya Maharshi continue to stay at Pushkar Tirtha till date. Pushkar's cynosure is the Brahma Temple, not far from Pushkar Tirtha, and Brahma's right side is Savitri Mandir and to the left is the Gayatri Mandir; besides the Chaturmukha Brahma are the Idols of Sanakaadi Munis: in a small Mandir is Narada and in another small Mandir are the idols of Kubera seated on elephant. Another Mandir of Pushkar is dedicated to Badari Narayana, but an ancient Varaha Mandir was destroyed and since got re-built. Yet another Mandir of the Tirtha is that of Atmeshwar Maha deva, also called Kapaleshwar or Atapateshwara Maha deva. Near by Pushkar there is a Shuddha vaapi named Gaya Kund where Pitru shraddas are performed. There is a Savitri Devi Mandir on a nearby mountain top. Yet on another hill top is the famed Gayatri Mandir reckoned as one of the Shakti Peethas where Devi Sati's Manibandha or wrist ornament fell. In Pushkar Tirtha, there is also 'Yagna Parvata' where Brahma performed his illustrious Yagna; there is also the Agastya Ashram and Agastya Tirtha; it is stated that besides Pushkara Snaan, the snaana of Agastya Kunda would only complete Pushkar Yatra, since the Kunda snaan is a total wash off of one's sins. The most essential snaana of Pushkar is in any case is that of Sarasvati River which is called 'Praachi Saraswati' also addressed by five names viz. Suprabha, Kanchana, Praachi, Nanda and Vaishalika. Pushkara's bathing on Kartika Pournami is stated to be of paramount significance. Some 8 km. away from Pushkar Tirtha is the Sangama of Praachi Sarasvati and Nandaa River. Near by the Sangama, the Naga Parvat has several caves including Bhartruhari Cave and Shila named after him.]

Sarga Sixty six: Vishmamitra conveys Rama's desire to show Shiva Dhanush and Janaka gives the background of the Dhanush; King Nimi was gifted Shiva Dhanush at his son Devarata's wedding; <u>Vishleshana: Nimi and Daksha Yagnya.-</u> Devi Sita as 'Ayonija' as Janaka tills bhuyagjna. <u>Vishleshanas on 1) King Nimi and 2) Daksha yagjna</u>

King Nimi of Ikshwaku dynasty was extremely righteous and desired once to perform a Maha Yagjna in the name of Bhagavati. The Raja Guru Vasishtha Muni agreed to be the Head Priest and conduct the Yaga. As all the preparations were ready just on the appointed time, Vasishtha Muni sent word that Indra Deva wished to perform a Yagna and thus the homa by the King be deferred to another date. King Nimi was furious and went ahead with his Yagna as scheduled in the absence of Vasishtha Muni. On return Vasishtha saw that the Homa was in the process and cursed the King to drop dead and since the Sacrifice was not yet concluded, Nimi became a 'Videha' or bodyless to enable the King to complete the 'Purnaahuti' or the Grand Finale of the Yagna. Lord Yama Dharmaraja was pleased with the Yagna and gave him the option of entering the first Jeeva Body of Brihaspati or continuing the Videha Body and the King preferred to be 'Videha' or body-less. The King on his part gave a return curse to Vasishtha to die too and the latter prayed to Brahma Deva who was Vasishtha's Manasa Putra. Brahma blessed Vasishta to enter Mitravaruna's Jeeva or coporal body which was kept in tact; the earlier Mitravaruna was

infatuated with Apsrara Urvashi and two issues were born of whom one was Agasti who became an ascetic and the other was King Ikshwaku. Mitravaruna's corporal body was still in tact even Brahma created Vasishtha; now the jeeva body of Vasishtha since dropped dead as a result of Nimi's curse had entered the duplicate of Mitravaruna without any loss of original Vasishtha's wisdom and radiance! Such was the glory of King Nimi, who ruled Mithila for 84000 yreas righteously. (Source: Devi Bhagavata Purana)

Daksha Yagna:

Brahma blessed Daksha Prajapati to beget a daughter with the 'Amsha' or part-manifestation of Devi Bhagavati as **Devi Sati.** Already Daksha got sixty daughters, ten married to Dharma, thirteen to Kashyapa Muni, twenty seven to Chandra, two to Bhuta Ganas, two to Kushashwa, six to Garuda and so on. As Sati Devi came of age, she fixed her mind on Rudra Deva and resorted to severe Tapasya. Rudra agreed to marry her, Brahma proposed formally and the marriage took place with pomp and show. Sati and Rudra shifted from Kailasa to Himalayas where Bhagavan enlightened Sati Devi on many matters of Spiritual Significance including the nuances of Mantra-Tantra-Yantra and Yoga. But meanwhile, Daksha Prajapati got increasingly jealous of Rudra Deva. At the ill-famed Daksha Yagna, Daksha denied 'Pradhana Havis'or the prime part of the Yagna to Rudra as per the usual practice and even as Sage Dadhichi pointed out the lacuna, the caution was ignored. Sati Devi felt that there was a mistake made by her father and insisted on attending the yagna despite Shiva's warning and his subsequent approval with great reluctance as Nandi and Rudra Ganas accompanied her. Daksha ignored her entry at the Yagna and in fact talked disparagingly against Rudra Deva. She could not contain Daksha's criticism of Maha Deva and having produced Yogic Fire ended herself to unite with Bhagavan. As Nandi informed Shiva of the tragedy, the latter pulled out a few hairs from his Jatajuta or the coarse knotted head- hair against a mountain and the energy so created broke the mountain into two parts, one of which having materialised Veerabhadra and another Devi Bhadra Kaali. The enraged Rudra asked them to destroy Daksha Yagna. Veerabhadra beheaded Daksha and together with Bhadra Kaali turned the Yagna into smithereens. Devi Bhagavata Purana stated that Shiva picked up the body remains of Sati Devi and performed furious Shiva Tandava to release his pent up emotions of intense love of Sati and hightened anger for Daksha; Vishnu apprehended Pralaya and used his Sudarshana Chakra to spread out the body remains of Sati and hundred and eight Shakti Peethas came into being. Veda Vyasa affirmed that worship at these Siddha Peethas or even hearing about these would destroy sins and bestow powers to the devotees concerned. Eventually, the instant fury of Shiva was cooled down by the prayers of Brahma and Devas and the ever merciful Shiva agreed to the resuscitation of Daksha by fixing the Goat-head of the Sacrificial animal. The ever grateful Daksha begged of Shiva's clemency and re-organised Daksha Yagna once again with Maha Deva occupying the High-Seat at any Yagna eversince.

Sarga Seventy: In an open Janaka Sabha, Vasishtha narrated the glory of Ikshvaku Vamsha: Brahma Deva the Swayambhu manifested Marichi, from the latter was born Kashyapa whose son was Vivisvaan as the latter gave birth to Vaivasvata Manu. Manu was the foremost Prajapati and from Manu was born Ikshvaku the first King of Ayodhya. Then were highlighted: Pruthu-Mandhata-Sagara- Bhagiratha-Ambareesha-Nahusha-Yayati-Naabhaga- Aja-and Dasharatha. <u>Vishleshanas on: Pruthu-Yuvanashra-Mandhata-Purukusta- Muchukunda-Nahusha- and Yayati.</u>

Vishleshana on Ikshvaaku Vamsha [Refer to the Visleshana vide Sarga One above too]:

King Prithu picked up speedy popularity as he proved be an ideal and virtuous Administrator endeared by Maharshis and commoners alike. In course of time there were no problems owing to physical ailments,

mental tensions and even of natural calamities in the Society. This was the first King ever who performed Rajasuya Yagna. It was this illustrious Emperor who controlled Bhumi (Earth); the latter took the Form of a Cow and sought to run away as was she was expected too much from her by various sections of the Universe. But Pruthu Chakravarti (literally he whose chariot wheels move forward swiftly without being interrupted by any opponent party) however chased and forced her to yield maximum milk to one and all in the form that they desired it. Pruthu himsel milked her having converted Swayambhu Manu as the calf and made her yield food grains to all, while in regime of Vena the staple food was of flowers and fruits. Various sections of the world milke the material as they desired; for instance, Rishis converted Chandra as a calf, Brihaspati as the milkman, Tapomaya Brahma as the milk and Vedas as the container to fill up the milk; Devatas made Indra as the calf, Surya as the milkman and 'Pushtikaahara' or healthy food as milk; Pitru Devatas requested Yamadharma Raja as the calf, Antaka Deva as the milk man and 'Swadha'as the milk; Nagas selected Takshaka as the calf, Iravata Serpent as the milkmen and Visha (Poison) as the milk; Asuras appointed Mathu Daitya as the milkman, Virochana as the calf and Maya (Illusions) as the milk; Yakshas preferred Kubera as the calf, Rajananaabha Yaksha as the milkman and 'Antardhaana Vidya' or the Art of Disappearance as the milk; similarly all other species selected their own Milkmen and calves and Gandharvas opted milk in the form of fragrance; Rakshasas opted for blood, Mountains preferred 'Aoushadhis' and soon thus satisfying every one in his governance! Manu Vivaswanta gave birth to ten sons including Ikshvaku, Saryati, Nabhaga and Prushaghna. Ikshwaku's lineage included Puranjaya/ Kakustha, Yuvanashra and Mandhata. Puranjaya fought a severe battle with Daityas on behalf of Devas by riding a Great Bull who actually was Indra himself by holding the Kakutsa or the hump of the bull thus obtaining the epithet of Kakutsa or Indravahana!King Yuvanashra perforned a noted Yagna targetting Indra Deva to secure a son. During the Sacrifice days, he felt very thirsty one midnight in the Yagna Shaala and drank up the 'Mantra Jala' or the Sanctified Water kept in a vessel. The Rishis performing the Yagna were aghast to find the vessel empty next morning as the King drank up the Sacred Water. Eventually, the King got conceived instead of his Queen and a male child came out from his abdomen which had to be cut. The cried for milk and Indra put his index finger in the child's mouth and saved him! The boy thus born was Mandhata, the undisputed Emperor of the World comprising Seven Dwipas 'from where Sun rose at where it was set!' He was stated to have discovered Manasa Sarovara on Mount Kailasha was he was reputed to have performed Tapas at the banks of the Lake. It was believed that there was a Serpent Mansion where the Emperor prayed under a Jamun Tree from which its fruits (Blackberry) dropped into the Sarovar making the sounds of 'Jam' and the area underneath the Sarovara was called Jambu Dwipa! Mandhata's wife Bindumati was a pious woman and gave birth to Purukutsa and Muchukunda and fifty daughters. There was an interesting Story about the daughters. Sage **Saubhari** a very old and diseased person who did Tapasya under water for twelve years noticed that fishes in water were having sex and procreating; the Muni got tempted and approached Mandhata to let any of his daughters marry him. The Emperor was afraid that the Sage might give a 'Shaap' if declined and asked that anybody among the daughters was prepared to marry the Sage; none consented as the Sage was very old and disgusting physically with diseases. Mandhata had a problem but cleverly replied that his family custom was that all the daughters would have to wed the same person and none should disagree. The Sage transformed himself into a handsome youth by his mystical powers and presented himself. All the girls vied with each other to marry him and the youthful Sage built mansions and all of them enjoyed. But in course of time, the Sage realised that on account of the fishes in the water, his spiritual life was ruined and although very late in life reverted back to a more introspective life and intensified devotion to Vishnu. Purukutsa married Narmada the sister of Serpent brothers and she took him away to Rasatala the sub-terrain world under instruction from King Vasuki as approved by Bhagavan Vishnu to overpower Gandharvas who invaded Rasatala and other Patala Lokas. Nagas were afraid of Gandharvas as some six crores of the latter descended there for hunting the priceless 'Ratnas' / Jewels. Nagas sought protection and prayed to Vishnu in desperation. Indeed Purukutsa succeeded and Nagas gave a boon to Narmada that whosoever bathed in River Narmada by reciting a Shloka would be safe from Sarpa- Visha or Snake- Poison; the Shloka states: Narmadaayai Namah Praatarnamaadaayai Namo Nisha, Namostu Narmadey tubhyam traahimaam vishasarpatah/ (Devi Narmada! My salutations to you

in the day or night; kindly safeguard me from the fear of Serpents and their poisonous bites!) This recitation while entering dark places as also while eating food would safeguard from any kind of poisons thanks to Purukutsa and Narmada! Nahusha who was also in the lineage of Pururava had the distinction of peforming ninety nine Ashwamedha Yagnas and was nearly qualified to become Indra who should have executed hundred Yagnas. Meanwhile there was a temoporary vacancy of Indratwa since Indra fled away since he killed Vritrasura with the help of the Vajrayudha made out of Sage Dadhichis's backbone; Vritrasura who was a Brahmana by birth and Brahma Hatya Sin chased Indra. Brahma thus appointed Nahusha as temporary Indra. Nahusha who was originally a King of Great Virtue bacame arrogant and power-mongering as he became Indra and claimed all the privileges belonging to Indra like Vajrayudha, Iravata the Elephant and even Indra's wife Sachi Devi. Nahusha insisted that Sachi Devi be his keep! Sachi Devi was non-plussed at this proposal. As advised by Deva Guru Brihaspati, she asked Nahusha to come to her residence but he should do so just as Indra was in the habit of arriving at her residence by a Palki (Palanquin) which actually was carried by Maharshis. Nahusha was excited to reach her Palace quickly and having got into the palanguin commanded Agastya Muni to reach him to Sachi Devi's Place at once; he said 'Sarpa Sarpa' meaning 'Quick, Quick' and in the process gave a kick to the Muni to go fast. Asgastya purposively misunderstood the word and converted the arrogant Nahusha as an Ajagara (Python) and dropped the latter to the depths of Bhuloka into thick forests. As a repentant Nahusha begged of clemency, the Maharshi granted a reprieve that the 'Shaapa Vimochana' would be possible only when Pandavas reached the forest for twelve long years before their 'Ajnaata Vasa' or Unknown Destiny having lost a bet in the 'Maya Juda' or wilful game of chess. As Draupadi desired to secure a Sugandhika Flower Bheema got into a pond and the Ajagara caught him and agreed to release him only if he gave correct replies to the Serpent's queries. Yudhishtara had to arrive and release Bhima and Nahusha alike. Meanwhile Brihaspati and Agastya found that Indra was hiding in a lotus stem in Mana Sarovara Lake and brought him back and prayed to Brahma who exonerated Nahusha from the Brahma Hatya Sin on the ground that Vitra was no boubt a Brahmana but committed sins of killing several virtuous and innocents. Yayati, the son of Nahusha and his wife Viraja, was a famed Emperor who defeated all the Kings of the World and married Devayani the daughter of Asura Guru Shukracharya, besides Sharmishtha the daughter of Vishvaparva, a Rakshasa King. Indra was pleased to gift Yayati a Divine Chariot with seven powerful horses with which he traversed the world and divided his Empire into seven divisions to distribute it among five of his sons. A Maharshi gave a boon that if any of his sons could agree to exchange their youth to his old age then he could secure a fresh lease of youth. His eldest son Yadu from Devayani refused and so did others excepting Sharmishtha's son Puru who readily agreed. Yayati took over Puru's youth and enabled him travel around to unravel earthly pleasures for long. But finally returned discovering that the ephemeral joys of the world were endless like Agni in a Homa kunda assuming larger and larger proportions as long as ghee is served and no human would be satisfied with food, gold, ornaments or women. By so realising, he returned his youth to Puru and took to Vanaprastha or retirement.

Sargas Seventy Four- Five-Six: After the festivities concluded, guests were shovered with precious gifts, the groom's party moved back on the return journey but a terrible sand storm was faced. Parashu Rama arrived shouting 'Rama Rama' with terrible anger as the Shiva Dhanush was broken. Dasharatha tried to pacify but with anger, handed over Vishnu Dhanush and challenging Rama to break it if at all possible. An angry Rama not only lifted the dhanush as though Vishnu did against Madhukaitabha daityas but stated that with that very dhanush he could as well demolish Parashu Rama too! An utterly humiliated Parashu Rama was then instructed to return to Mahendra Mountain for ever! Vishleshanas on Madhu Kaitabha daityas; Parashu Rama- Kartaveryarjuna from Ganesha-Brahmanda Puranas .

Vishleshana on i) Madhu Kaitabha Daityas and ii) Parashu Rama: Madhu Kaitaba Daityas from Devi Bhagavata Purana:

When Maha Vishnu was in Yoga Nidra in a comfortable posture of lying on the bed of Ananta Naga, two Demon brothers named Madhu and Kaitabha were born from the wax of Maha Vishnu's ears. Their birth was a mystery and unknown as felt by the brothers themselves whose physical forms grew fast and strong day by day, even as they were playing in the ocean surroundings, killing various kinds of aquatic species for food or play. Coming of age in course of time, the Demon brothers with huge bodies and proportionate common sense too, realised that there must have been a Massive Force which alone could have given birth to them. From the air, they heard a sound 'Vagbija' the Seed Mantra (Seed 'Bija' and 'Vak' the Speech of Goddess Sarasvati). To start with fun, but later on with maturity, they kept on practising the sound for years together, little realising the impact of the Mantra's repetition. In fact, they became so obsessed with the Mantra that they neither had food nor sleep, but with full concentration and utmost sincerity. 'The Parasakti's Voice emerged from the Skies that the Danava brothers would be invincible in the entire Universe provided they were united and fight two-some. Blessed by Maha Devi, the two brothers became swollen with pride and eventually attacked Lord Brahma Himself. On realising that they were unconquerable, Brahma who was seated on the lotus- head sprouting from Maha Vishnu's navel, tried the age-old four means. He tried to use 'Sama (Counselling) 'Dana' (Gifting or bribing), 'Bheda' (put one against another) and finally 'Danda' (Punish), but neither of these media appeared feasible; he ran away to Vaikuntha for protection but Maha Vishnu was in Yoga Nidra. Brahma had thus prayed to Yoga Nidra Devi to prompt Maha Vishnu to wake up. It was actually Maha Maya's discretion which mattered as Vishnu Himself could not regain consciouness on His own. The concentrate of 'Tamo Guna'- Maha Maya - was earnestly prayed to by Brahma, as this was a prestige issue for him and the entire domain of Gods! Maha Maya left Vishnu free and He was fully woken up to face the challenge of the hour, viz. to either manipulate or massacre the brothers, Madhu and Kaitabha. Lord Vishnu invited the brothers to fight with Himself. The fight continued for five thousand years but without a tangible result. As the Demons were clashing one after another and Lord Vishnu was in duel singly, the latter asked the brothers to give a break as it was against Justice that they took alternate positions while He was alone. During the break, Vishnu prayed to Maha Sakti and complained that the fight was unfair and that they were also given by Her the boon of voluntary death or 'Svacchanda Maranam'. Maha Sakti realised the lacuna in the duel and advised Vishnu to give boons to the brothers so that a way out would automatically open up. Meanwhile, Maha Sakti agreed to be present at the fight in physical form and disturb the concentration of the Demon brothers by casting Her fake amorous looks. This encouraged Vishnu to convey the Demons that their duel with Him was of great quality and thus He was ready to give boons to them. They got into the trap as they boasted that they were prepared to give boons to Him instead of the other way around. Vishnu grabbed the opportunity and said that He be given the boon of their death by killing each other! The brothers gave an excuse that the boon could be given only provided there was no water or wetness in the Ocean. Vishnu expanded his thighs manifold so that there could be adequate space for the killings. The Demons expanded their bodies too and thus the thighs of Vishnu and the body sizes of the brothers kept on increasing horizontally and vertically proportionately. Finally, the illusion created by Vishnu proved stronger and the brothers had to yield to their own killings. Thus Maha Sakti who assumed human physique and paved the way to the killings of the Danava brothers without breaking the Rules of 'Dharma Yuddha', partly by trickery and partly by Maya or Illusion.

<u>Ganesha Purana</u> is quoted: <u>Chapters 77-82</u>: <u>Jamadagni-Kaartaveerya- Kaama dhenu-Kartaveery kills the</u> <u>Muni- Parashuramaayatara</u>:

King Shurasena approached the ashram of Maha Muni Jamadagni the famed wife Renuka Devi in Shveta Dvipa's Sahyaadri Parvata and their illustrious son Parashurama who was in Naimisharanya for Vidyadhyayana. The Muni having extolled Sankata Charurthi Ganesha Vrata said his son Parashurama had already observed the Vrata as prescribed. Thereafter, Chakravarti Kartaveerya visited the Ashram of Jamadagni couple with his countless chaturanga bala akshouhinis who were taking refreshing bath and swim. The Muni couple invited the Chakravarti and the huge army and hosted a fabulous and highly rich and lavishing lunch with pancha bhakshya bhojana. Well before this lunch invitation the Muni Couple

prostrated before the Kamadhenu in the ashram's backyard and entreated her to preserve their dignity to fulfill the invitation of lunch for the Royal Guest of honour and his mammoth number of the army. The shocked Chakravarti exclaimed as how such massive bhojana was possible to an equally huge army and requested the Muni and wife to explain out of his astonishing miracle. As they revealed the truth of mother Kamadhenu's grace and help, instantly the Chakravarti raised his tone and asserted that each and every asset in his command ought to be under his command. The Muni replied: Chakravarti! I am after all a Muni eking my life with what ever 'kandamula bhakshana' is possible in forests; how do you realise that this ashram could offer 'pancha bhaksshya paramaannas' to the Royalties and 'akshouihinis' of sena is possible otherwise. You are of Vishnu swarupa and accepted my 'aatithya' as that is a great honour and trilokas could proudly state that Chakravari Kaartaveerya was honoured by his visit along with his glorious sena which was of akshouhinis strong and the Muni served fabulous meal with pancha bhalshyas! But still the Chakravarti kept on insisting that Kamadhenu ought to be taken awayeven by force and left the ashram in a huff and disgust, even as the Muni kept on pleading and finally stated that the Chakravarti visited the ashram as a green parrot but finally turned as a crow! The Chakravarti who left in despair redoubled with the design of stealing kamadhenu overnight. He despatched his army men who freed the celestial cow which made reverberating noises while she became breathless and after kicking its legs flew away to skies in pitch darkness. An aweful earth tremor followed and the army ran away in fright. Noticing the havoc that had happened, Kaataveerya appeared on the scene and so did the Ashramavasis and the Mahamuni couples. As the Chakravarti faced the Muni couple, Maha Saadhvi Renuka showerd curses on Kaartaveerya and having warned the interference of the former aimed at the Muni's chest and killed him with the proverbial ekavimshati / 21 arrows and left away. The disheartened pativrata could hardly do the 'smarana' of Parashurama who was in long tapasya, even as Kartaveerya shot five arrows on her chest and the 'ashramavaasis' ran away helterskelter! Having dutifully initiated the 'dahana samskara' of the parents that followed with the assistance and blessings of Mahatma Dattatreya by 'smarana'. Soon after the 'antyeshti karma' (shava yatra- dahana-daaha yagina-udaka karma-pinda daana-sapindeekarana etc), he called onMahatma Dattaatreya with his shaven head and face narrated the details of the happenings about the Chakravarti's visit to the ashram, the enjoyment of the hospitality of the unique parents with the active help of Kamadhenu of Tri Murthi swarupini, his departure on the polite refusal to partwith Kamadhenu, the nocturnal attack and of the army, the killing of Kamadhenu, his subsequent visit to the ashram to kill his unique parents and the antima smarana of his mother and cremation formalities that followed. On the fifth day of the obsequies, Parashurama got terribly agitated witnessing the matru swarupa and cried much and as the days of the karma karyas, the mrita swarupas were distorted and dimmed in their physical parts. On the final day after karma kanda, the images of the parents were radiant and blissful which demolished his fears and got kindled the fires of revenge and retribution totally replacing with child like fears and helplessness!Parashurama prostrated to the vision of Devi Renuka and asked her about the 'sarvavyapta keerti' of sahasra baahu chakravarti Kaartaveerya and his historic valour and courage and how indeed could he stand alone and face him with all the strong army behind him! Devi Renuka replied that if only Parshurama performed severe tapas to Maha Deva Shiva sincerely with devotion, he could ensure victory single handed against even the universal hero like Kartaveerya. Parashurama followed the mother's counsel and Maha Deva having been pleased with the prayers after his 'saakshaatkara' bestowed the upadesha of the shadakshara Ganesha Maha Mantra with which Parushurama recited one lakh timed with unrelenting bhakti followed by dashaamsha homas and Maha Ganesha stood before him even as Parashurama broke into his rapturous praises. Ganesha was pleased and handed over a Parashu and accorded a 'parashu' with which to destroy Kaartaveerya who nodoubt had been no doubt commenced his life within the precincts of dharmaacharana initially but transgressed the limits to the extent of murdering Muni dampatis and in that process killing the illutrious Go Mata the holiest cow in the Over Lords's Creation! Ganesha had implicitly instructed Parashurama to destroy the ambitious and arrogant human Kaartaveerya and also the equally cruel and sinful clan of Kshatrias too! As a sequel to parashu daana to Jamadagi-Renuka putra Parashu Rama armed with the Parashu gifted by Ganesha as prompted by Maha Deva himself shouted thunderously at Kaaraveerya and

army and killed them all in no time and in the same sweep killed the Khatriyas and the clan is as many as 21 attacks recalling as many arrows of Kaartaveerya's bow broke his father's chest!

Brahmanda Purana too is quoted': Prashu Rama Tapasya:

The illustrious Incarnation of Bhagavan Vishnu as Bhargava Rama was the son of Jamadagni Muni and the grandson of the famed Bhrigu Maharshi and Devi Khyati. As instructed by hisfather and grandfather, Bhargava Rama performed stringent Tapasya in an Ashram in a deepjungle and visiting Maharshis like Bhrigu, Atri, Kratu, Jaabali, Mrikunda were impressed with the high concentration of Bhargava Rama who was seeking to target Shiva in his penance. In course of time, Maha Deva was pleased with Bhargava Rama's devotion and appeared in disguise as a hunter who presented a repulsive person with dark complexion and red eyes with bow and arrows and crude sword and knives of varied sizes and sharpness. He introduced himself as Tosha Prayarsha the Master of The Forest and that no knew person should step in the Forest, much less raise a Hermitage. Even Indra would not be able to reside in this forest without my permission, he said. The hunter then asked Rama as to was he and for what purpose that he was staying in the Forest for such a long time. The former replied that he was performing Tapasya to Maha Deva Shambhu and that he would like please that Sarveshwara, Sarva Sharanya, Abhaya prada, Trinetra, Sarvaina, Tripuraantaka and Shankara. The Hunterheckled at Parashu Rama and said that he was wasting his time. In the course of conversation, Parashu Rama realised that the Hunter was not an ordinary human being; he knew a lot of Shiva as the so called hunter mumbled that Shiva did Brahmahatya and that he snipped Brahma's fifth head. The Hunter further told Parashu Rama that after all he was trying to absolve himself of the sin of his mother's killing! (Once Jamadagni left for Tapsaya and his wife Renuka Devi went to a river to fetch water and witnessed Prince of Mrittikavati Chitraratha was enjoying swims in the river with his women and momentarily Renuka feltenvious of the women; Jamadagni noticed that his wife committed a sin and on returning back to his Ashram he asked his sons to kill her for the sin; none of his elder sons were prepared but Prarashshu Rama sliced her neck and killed her at once; apparently, Jamadagni was able to revive Devi Renuka by his Mantra Shakti!). Bhargava Rama then realised that the hunter must be a Siddha! The Hunter further heckled Rama that his Tapasya was futile as he left his old father and killed his mother! Bhargava Rama then asked the hunter to identify himself: Was he Indra or Agni or Surya or Chandra or Vayu or Yama! You have come here to test my sincerity of Tapasya. Mahatma! Do reveal your self, thus prostrated Bhargava Rama and as soon as he stood up, Maha Deva revealed himself and a confused Rama in an ecstatic trance praised him as follows: Namastey Nilakanthaaya Nilalohita murtaye, Namastey Bhuta nathaya Bhuta vaasaaya tey namah/ Vkyataavyakta Swarupaaya Maha Devaaya Meedhushey, Shivaaya Bahurupaaya Trinetraaya Namo nanah/ Sharanam Bhava Sharva twadbhaktasya Jagatpatey, Bhuyonanyaashrayaanaam tu twameva hi paraayanam/ Yanmaya- aprakrutam Deva duruktam vaapi Shankara, Ajaanataa twaam Bhagavanmama tatkhshantumarhasi/ Ananyavedya Swarupasya Sadbhaavamiha kaha pumaan, Twaamrutey tawa Sarvesha Samyak Shakreti Veditum/ Tasmaatwam Sarvabhavena praseeda mama Shankara, Naanyaast mey gatistubhyam Namo bhuyo namo namah/ Nilakantha, Nilalohita, Bhutanaadha, Bhuta yaasa! You are Perceivable yet impossible to Perceive, Maha Deva, Shiva, Bahurupa, Trinetra, Sharva! Indeed I am your faithful devotee and you are my final refuge; I might have talkedlightly about you thinking that you were a normal hunter! Do pardon my ignorance and indiscretion; who else is capable of recognising your own magnanimity excepting yourself! I have no recourse else than surrendering myself to you totally!) Shiva replied to Rama 'My Child! I am pleased with your Tapasya. I really wish I could bestow every Shakti to you although You deserve it. Yet, you are still not yet ripe enough to withstand the Rudra Shakti and the ralated 'Astraas'; hence you have to perform further Tapasya, resort to Sarva Tirtha Darshanaas and approach me when you consider fit. Subsequently, Bhargava Rama was engaged in Tirtha Darshanaas, fastings, Tapas, Homas, Japas, Snaanaas and other sacred deeds and moved about a lot in Bhumandala. Later, as per the instructions of Maha Deva returned to his Ashram and settled for his Shiva Puja. Meantime, there was a terrible battle between Devas and Asuras and the latter approached Maha Deva for help. Shankara then asked Mahodara toreach Parashurama to bring from his Ashram in Himalayas and

the latter was instruced by Shiva to destroy the Asuras. Bhargava was bestowed with a variety of powerful Astra-Shastras and devastated Asuras in large contingents even while the remnants ran away to Rasatala. The victorious Bhargava returned to his Ashram and installed an Idol of the 'Kiraata' who confronted him in the Forest and worhipped him with flowers, Chandana, Dhupa, Dipa and Naivedyas. As Shankara made an appearance along with Marudganas and Devas, Rama fell on his feet and extolled him as follows: (Devadeva! Jagannaadha, Tripuraantaka, Sakala adhyaksha, Bhaktavatsala, Sarva Bhutesha, vrishabha -dhwaja, Sakalaadhisha, Kanukaakara, Skaklaavaasa, Sakala Devaarigana Naashaka, Shuli, Kapaali, Sarva Lokaika paala, Nitya Smashna Vaashi, Kailasavaasi, Pashayukta, Kalakuta vishaara, Sarva Vibhu, Amarvandya, Swayambhu, Shaktivaan, Sagatkarma Sakshi, Shambhu, Chandramouli, Sarpakantha haara, Shiva, Paramatma, Vibhuti sanchhanna deha, Suryachandraagninetra, Kapardi, Andhakaasura mardana, Tripura dhwamsi, Daksha Yagna Vinaashaka, Yogijana Dhyeya, Achintya Rupa, Bhakta hridayaambhoja karna madhya varti, Sakalaagama Siddhaanta Saara Rupa, Sakala Yogendra Prabhu, Shankara, Sakala Vyaapta Maha mahimna, Paramatma, Sharva, Shaanta, Jagadbrahma, Vishwarupa, Adimadhya rahita, Nitya, Avyakta, Vyaktaavyakta Swarupa, Sthula Sukshmaatma, Vedanta Vedya, Samasta Vishwa Viginaana Swarupa, Suraasurasangha Shreshtha puja paada, Shrikantha, Srishti karta, Lokakarta, Rajo gunaatma, Hiranyagarbha, Paratpara, Pratyagatma, Tamoguna Vikaara, Jagatsamhaara, Kalpanta Rudra Rupa, Parapara-Vida, Avikara, Nitya, Sadas adaatma, Buddhi Prabodha, and Buddhin- driya Vikara! My salutations to you as you are manifested in various Forms as Vasu-Rudra- Marud-Aditya- Saadhaya and Ashwini Kumaaras! You are Avikara, Aja, Nitya, Sukshma Rupa!You are not controllable and unimaginable even by Brahma! Those who continue in ignorance about you and your three major features of Srishti-Sthiti-Samhara are engaged in the cycle of births and deaths; as even great Scholars are unaware about you, what could I realise about you! Indeed your magnificence is far beyond description and voice; thus I am unable to commend you as my Stuti properly yat I know that you are affectionate to your Bhaktas!) Maha Deva was indeed gratified with this kind of touching prayers and bestowed to him all kinds of Astra-Shastra Vidyas, their usages and withdrawing capacities; a outstanding horse; a distinctive chariot, a peerless bow and bunch of arrows, a distinctive Kavacha or body shield, Beeja Mantras whose recitation could either annihilate the worlds or shower blessings to his followers and in short provided unique Siddhis to Bhargava Rama equipping him with invincible powers enabling him to punish the Evil wherever it existed and at the same time to protect the virtuous and the noble.

King Kaartaveeryarjuna and his invincibility: The most valiant and invincible King of the times Kaartaviryarjuna of Haihava Vamsha was contemporary to Bhargava Rama halted at the Ashsram of Jamadagna once along with his huge army which was tired and famished on an afternoon when Sun was hot and severe; the army did not have the strength to move forward and decided to rest. The King knew that the Ashram would not have the resource to feed the contingent but the Muni did provide excellent food to them. The King wondered as to how the Muni was able to do so and discovered that the Celestial Cow Kama -dhenu was in the Ashram and fulfilled all the requirements of the inmates of the Ashram. The King desired to take away the Kamadhenu to his kingdom but Jamadagni declined politely initially and refused flatly later. The King returned to his Kingdom but sent his Minister to manage tobring the Celestial Cow, if necessary by force. Finally force was used and both the Muni and the Kamadhenu resisted till the last but were tortured; Jamadagni Maharshi was almost killed and Kamadhenu flew to Heaven! The soldiers returned only with the calf which was a wasted exercise since without the mother the calf was no avail anyway. On return to the Ashram, Devi Renuka found her husband lying dead in a pool of blood and fainted and after recovering fro the shock with some passage of time, she cried incessantly enquiring about Bhargava Rama. Rama returned from the forest to fetch wood and flowers for homa and puja and was non-plussed about what all had happened. He witnessed his mother beating her chest again and again numbering twenty one times and took a vow that not only King Kartaveeryarjuna would be butchered but would also attack Kshatriyas as a race would be slaughtered twenty one times and wipe out traces of them all; for quite some time now Kshatriyas were harassing Brahmanasand Sages on many counts, mostly out of fear that Brahmanas were gaining upper hand due to their knowledge and

out of fear of an inferiority complex. Renuka decided to jump into firealong with her dead husband in the execution of the old practice of 'Sati Sahagamana' but a Celestial Voice stopped her attempt as Jamadagni's life would by revived once again. Bhrigu Maharshi came to learn of his son's death and on seeing his body stated that if he the Maharshi spent all his life as per Vedas and performed all virtuous deeds including Yagnas and Tapas, then Jamadagni his son should rise up from his death bed and sprinkled sacred weater on the dying body and up came Jamadagni fully resuscitated due to the glory of Bhrigu. But Bhrigu after full recovery came to realise Bhargava Rama's vow to kill Kartaveeryarjuna and felt sad, not only because that revenge was never the principle of a Brahmana but killing a King by one of his own Subjects would tantamount to 'Rajavadha' which was as atrocious as killing one's own father! Moreso King Kartaveeryarjuna was not only an illustrious King of extraordinary prowess but also an outstanding devotee of Bhagavan Dattaratreya. This created a predicament to Bhargava Rama as there was a vow to kill the King and the Kshatriya Vamsha in twenty one attacks and on the other hand there was the considered advice tantamounting to an instruction of his father not to do so. Jamadagni then advised to pray to Brahma Deva and act according to his considered advice. Brahma too was not acceptable to either of the vows taken by Bhargav and affirmed that it would not be in order that if simply one King perpetrated a sin, there would be little justification to eradicate the entire Kshatriya Vamsha in twenty one battles! Yet, he blessed Rama to recite a Krishna Kavacha tittled 'Trailokya Vijaya' and visit Shiva Loka to seek his blessings in the matter. As Bhargava Rama with great difficulty managed an audience with Shiva, the latter too felt that it was not an easy task to terminate King Kartaviryarjuna who by his mere frown a great warrior like was disarmed and had to flee! However, the ever merciful Mahadeva suggested that he like Skanda Kumara should practise not only the Trailokya Vijaya Mantra but several other powerful Mantras like Nagasatra, Paashupata, Brahmastra, Narayanastra, Agneyastra, Varanyastra, Gandharvatra, Garudastra, Jrumbhanaastra and many other Astraas; Rama then bowed with the greatest possible happiness and fulfillment to Shiva, Devi Parvati, Ganesha, Skanda and Nandi Deva and returned to his father Jamadagni, fully overjoyed.!

ESSENCE OF VALMIKI AYODHYA RAMAYANA

Sarga Twelve: Dasharatha's remorse at Kaikeyi's undue demands even having admitted the boons and pleads with Kaikeyi not to insist but in vain - [Vishleshanas about Kings Shiabya and Alarka] [Vishleshanas about Kings Shiabya and Alarka:

King Shibya, the most illustrious the son Ushinara, of Bhoja King was the husband of Parishthana the daughter of King Yayati. King Shaibya conquered the entire world single handed and performed several Ashvamedha Yagnas and was an outstanding personality of charity. He was famed to have willingly offered his own flesh by weighing the equal quantity of his own flesh but an innocent pigeon caught by weighing that much quantity of its raw meat from his own flesh. At the conclusion of this kind of charity never heard of in the past or for all times to come, the pigeon and the hawk revealed themselves as Agni Deva and Devendra who were testing the extent to which the King could reach in his disposition of charity. They blessed the king to reach swarga with his own mutilated body. Yet another instance of Shibya's earlier life was that he never hesitated to kill his own son to satisfy the demand of a brahmana of great virtue as the son committed a 'maha pataka' of stealing. Dharma Raja in the form of the Brahmana who actually tempted the boy for stealing restored the boy's life once again. Yet in another context, the Chakravarti was stated to have encountered the 'Atma' of King Yayati after the latter's death and facilitated it to restore it back to swarga!

<u>King Alarka</u> according to Markandeya Purana was the son of King Ritudhwaj crowned him early duu to ond age. At the time of crowning, queen Madalasa presented him a ring and said - 'O son! This ring contains a note which will teach you on how a king should administer the kingdom.' Saying this, Madalasa blessed Alarka and left the palace with her husband Ritudhwaj to spend their lives in the forest.

After his accession to the throne, King Alarka ruled justly. In due course of time, he got many sons. He followed the dictates of Dharma, Arth and Kama while ruling his kingdom. Inspite of enjoying all the luxuries, Alarka still could not experience bliss and felt as if he was missing something in his life. Very soon, Subahu came to learn about the royal luxuries of his brother Alarka and got tempted to enjoy the same luxuries. To attain his objective, Subahu took the help of the king of Kashi. The king of Kashi sent an envoy to Alarka with a message to give the kingdom to Subahu, which Alarka refused. Instead, he sent a reply that the request must be made by Subahu himself. 'I will not give him my kingdom out of fear of war,' said Alarka. But Subahu did not pay heed and with the help of the king of Kashi, launched a massive attack on his kingdom and conquered it. Now Alarka's days of sorrow had begun. He then remembered the ring presented by his mother Madalasa. He opened the ring and found a letter in it. The letter said- 'When you lose your everything, give up the company of your present advisors and join the company of learned sages.' This message made Alarka to pine for the company of the learned sages. Very soon, he went to the refuge of Dattatreya and requested him to remove his miseries. Dattatreya assured him of removing his miseries at once but before doing that, he wanted to know the reasons for his miseries. Alarka said- 'I do not long for pleasures but my elder brother wants to grab my kingdom.' Markandeya Purana further states: King Alarka approached Mahatma Dattatreya as a 'Sharanardhi' (refuge) and prayed to him to guide him and wipe out his distress. Dattatreya replied that the King was indeed truthful as he made a confession that he was suffering from anguish. He then asked Alarka to carry out an introspection as to who was he? What kind of grief did he suffer from? King Alarka tried to figure out the inter-relationship of the Soul and the three kinds of basic problems of humanity viz. Adhi-Bhoutika, Adhyatmika and Adhi Daivika, ie the troubles related to physical, internal and God-made categories. He reasoned that he was not a component of 'Panchabhutas'-Prithivi (Earth), 'Aapas' (Water), 'Tejas' (Fire), 'Vayu' (Wind) and 'Aakash' (Sky), but has the sensibilities related to these Entities. Even if he were not the 'Sharir' (Physique), he however had the independent feelings that led to the complexes of Inferiority or Superior feelings. Indeed, it would be essential to discard those kinds of feelings by an enlightened Gyani. After all, when a person is aware that essentially a human body is not eternal, then why should there be the feelings of happiness or otherwise; especially when there was a realisation that these feelings were made by the mind but not the inner soul which was free from such illusive fears. Alarka thus analysed the current situation arising out of the state of his mind, since he was not the body, nor the mind, and not even his superficial consciousness. Thus analysed, the King Alarka convinced himself that there was no harm done if his elder brother Subahu desired to take over Kingship, then there was no need for resisting the idea! Also, desire and attachment propelled by ego and prestige are the root causes of happiness or grief. Mahatma Dattatreya stated: Ahami tyamkurotpanno mameti skandhavaanmahaan, Gruhakshetroccha shakhaascha putradaaraadi pallavah/Dhanadhanya maha patro naikakaala pravardhitah, Punyaapunyaagra pushpascha Sukha duhkha maaphalah ('Ahamkaar' or sense of self is the seed which produces a huge tree of 'Agyaan' or Ignorance; 'Mamatva' or selfishness is the trunk of the tree; Gruha (Abode) and Kshetra (Farm lands) are the high and large branches; wife and children are the tender leaves; 'dhana dhanya' or money and foodgrains viz. wealth are the enormous leaves; 'Punyaapunya' (Fruits of noble deeds or sins) constitute the major flowers and 'Sukha Duhkkas' or delight and misery are the end results.) How could those human beings, who are tired of 'Samsar' (Life and Family matters) and seek shelter under the 'Agyan' Tree which is rooted in the lack of correct knowledge or awareness, ever consider to attain Salvaton? Only those noble persons who possess a sharp axe named 'Vidya' (Knowledge) could pull down the mammoth tree of ignorance and egocentricity with the active help of the heavy rocks of 'Satsanga'! King Alarka expressed his gratitude to Mahatma Dattatreya that he gave him the solace in clearing his conscience about the eventually of stepping down from his throne in favour of his brother Subahu. But his doubt in his mind continued to waver and was not able to detach from natural strings. He desired to learn the art of disconnecting human psyche from Paramatma, so that there would not be a recurrence of 'Punarjanma' (Rebirth). Dattatreya replied: Yogecha shaktividusham yena shreyah param bhavet, Muktiryogaatatha yogah samyakinaa mahipathey/Sangaddoshod bhavah duhkha mamatwasakta chetasamam/ (Yogis are able to distinguish 'Gyan' from 'Agyan' and that is called 'Mukti'; manifestation of Parabrahma takes place despite the natural features of the illusory world. From

Yoga emerges 'Moksha', 'Samyak Gyan' (detailed analysis) comes from Yoga, 'Duhkha' (Sorrow) springs from Gyan; 'Mamata' (Sense of Belonging) comes from 'Duhkha'. Further, Selflessness demolishes 'Mamata' and results in 'Viragya'; this is the state suitable for Yoga or configuration of the Self with the Super Force.]

Sarga Thirteen: Dasharatha's intense cryings and persistent pleadings with Kaikeyi but she argued in the name of dharma citing the tradition of truthfulness of Ikshvaku ancestors-[Vishlesana on Yayati]
[Visleshana on Yayati:

Yayati, the son of Nahusha and his wife Viraja, was a famed Emperor who defeated all the Kings of the World and married Devayani the daughter of Asura Guru Shukracharya, besides Sharmishtha the daughter of Vishvaparva, a Rakshasa King. Indra was pleased to gift Yayati a Divine Chariot with seven powerful horses with which he traversed the world and divided his Empire into seven divisions to distribute it among five of his sons. A Maharshi gave a boon that if any of his sons could agree to exchange their youth to his old age then he could secure a fresh lease of youth. His eldest son Yadu from Devayani refused and so did others excepting Sharmishtha's son **Puru** who readily agreed. Yayati took over Puru's youth and enabled him travel around to unravel earthly pleasures for long. But finally returned discovering that the ephemeral joys of the world were endless like Agni in a Homa kunda assuming larger and larger proportions as long as ghee is served and no human would be satisfied with food, gold, ornaments or women. By so realising, he returned his youth to Puru and took to Vanaprastha or retirement. That was how he slipped down from the experiences of swarga but descended down into the company of 'Saadhu Pungayas' or of Groups of Virtue and Enlightment! Sarga Fourteen: Kaikevi's stubbuornness to relent - Vashishta Maharshis intervetion fails and Charioteer Sumanra asked for Rama's arrival at the King's Palace [Vishleshana on Vamanavatara was detailed in Essence of Vaalmiki Bala Ramayana but some excerpts are given for ready reference] [Vishleshana on Vamanavatara was detailed in Essence of Vaalmiki Bala Ramayana but some excerpts are given for ready reference: Having been trained in all these disciplines of Dharma, Vamana Deva as a brahmachari had one fine morning left for the Yagna Shaala of Bali Chakravarti as the latter was executing a SacredYagna while carrying his mat, danda /stick, chhatra / umbrella and kamandulu / water vessel. Danava Guru Shukracharya was aware that Vishnu Deva in the form of Vamana Murti was arriving at the Yagna and briefed Bali Chakravarti to be extremely careful as Vishnu was a sauve and highly talented person to put words in the mouths of the opponents. The Guru reminded Chakravarti that the latter denied the age-old practice of rights to yagna's shares to Devataas and that Vamana Murti might as well ask for the revival of the practice but those shares were now enjoying by Danava Chiefs. Bali replied to Danava Guru that in case Vishnu in the incarnation of Vamana Murti came and requested for any thing then how could a King say 'no' to it! Bali told the Danava Guru: Brahman katha -maham bruyaamanyapihi yachitah, Naastiti kim Devasya Samsaarasyaaghahaarinah/ Vratopavaasairvividhairyah Prabhurgrunhatey Harih, Sa mey vakshyati deheeti Govindah kimato -dhikam? Naasteeti yanmayanoktamanyeshaamapi yaachataam, Vakshyaami kathamaaya -tey tadadya chaamarechutey/Shlaagha eva hi veeraanam Daanaacchaapt samaagamah, Na badhaakaari yadyaanam tadanga Balavat smrutam/ (Brahmanaachaarya! How could I deny any body requesting me for a favour! And if that Supreme Deva asked me for a charity, then what else would be the alternative! While Parameswara received the fruits of Vrataas, Upavaasaas, and so on from one and all, and if that Parameswara himself asked a boon from me, could there be a greater fortune to me! When even an ordinary person approached me for a favour, then too that could not be denied by a King; then when Narayana himself asked for it, could such an opportunity presented itself, this chance could never indeed be missed. Even if there are difficulties in executing a charity, the value of charity would get multiplied and 'Veera purushaas' would never deter from performing the deed) Having said the above, Bali asked Shukraachaarya: YataginaatwaaMunisreshtha!Daanavighna karenamey, Naiva Bhayyam Jagannaathey

Govidey samupastithey! (By understanding the above, Munisreshta! Please do not create 'Daana Vighnaas' or hurdles in the execution of the Charity!). As Vamana Deva arrived at the Yagna shaala, Bali welcomed him, offered 'Arghya', 'Aasana', Puja and offered him limitless gold, jewellery, elephants, horses, cows, women, clothes, bunches of villages or townships or whatever would be his wish! Vamana Deva replied smilingly: Mamagnisharanaarthaaya dehi Rajan Padatrayam, Suvarnagraamaratnaadi tadarthibhyah pradeeyataam/ (Raja! Please provide to me three feet of land to enable me to set up an Agni- Shaala). Bali said that after all three feet would be nothing as he could ask for a lakh of feet which could be given away, but Vamana Deva replied that he was indeed satisfied with that much of Bhumi and if the King were to offer more he might as well provide to the other needy! Bali Chakravarti readily agreed not understanding the implication and as the deed of Daana was being executed and Vamana Deva extended his hand to the King and expanded his Vamana Rupa gradually immediately: Sarva Devamayam rupam darshayaamaasa tatkshanaat/ Chandra Suryoutu nayaney dyouh shirascharanou Kshitih, Paadaangulyah Pishaachaastu Hastaangulya –scha Gruhakaah/ Vishvedevaascha jaanusthaa janghey Saadhyaah Surottamaah, Yakshaa nakheshu sambhutaa rekhaapsaraastathaa/ Drushtirrukshaanya seshaani keshaah Suryamshvah Prabhoh, Taarakaa romakupaani romeshu cha Maharshayah/ Baahayo vidishatasya Dishaah Shrotrey Mahatmanah, Ashvinou Shravaney tasya naasaa Vayurmahaatmanah/ Prasadey Chandramaa Devo Mano Dharmah samaashritah, Satyasyaabhavad Vaani Jihvaa Devi Saraswati/ Greevaarditirdeva mataa Vidyaastadvalayastathaa, Swargadwaaramabhunmaitrah twashtaa Pushaa cha vai bhruvou/ Mukhe Vaishvaanarschaascha vrushanou tu Prajaapatih, Hridayamcha Param Brahma Pumstwam vai Kashapo Munih/Prushthesya Vasavo Devaa Marutah Sarva saandhishu, Vakshasthaley tathaa Rudro Dharryachaasya Mahaarnayah/ Udarey chaasya Gandharyaa Marutascha Mahaabalaah, Lakshmirmedhaa Dhrutih Kaantih Sarv Vidyaascha vai Katih/ Sarvajyoteesham Yaaneeha Tapascha Paramam mahat, Tasya Devaadhi Devasya tejah prodbhutamuttamam/ Tanou Kukshishu Vedaascha jaanuni cha Mahaamakhaah, Ishtayah pashavaschaasya Dwujaanaam cheshtitaanicha/ Tasya Devamayam rupam drushtaa Vishnormahaatmanah, Upasarpanti tey Daityaah patangaa iya paayaakam/ Chakshurastu Mahaa Daityaah Paadaangushtham gruheetavaan, Dantaabhyaam tasya vai greevaa mangushtheynaahana dharih/ Prathamya Sarvaansuraan Paadahastathalairvibhuh, Krutwaa Rupam Mahaakaayam Samjahaaraashu Modineem/ Tasya Vikramato Bhumim Chandraadityaou stanaantarey, Nabho Vikramamaanasya sakthidesho stitathaarvibhou/Param Vikramaanasya jaanumuley Prabhaakarou, Vishnoraastaam sthitasyaitow Devapaalana jkarmani/ Jitwaa Lokatrayam taamscha hatwaachaasura pungavaan, Purandaraaya Trailokyam dadou Vishnururukramah/

(Instantly, Vamana Murti displayed his Virat Swarupa: Chandra and Surya were his two Eyes, Shy was his head, Prithvi his feet, Pishachaas were his foot-fingers, Gruhyakaas were his hand fingers, Vishwa Deva Ganaas were in his jaanus /knees, Sadhyas were his janghaas, Yakshaas were his nails, Apsarsaas were his palm lines, Nakshatras were his Eye sight, Surya kiranas were his hairs, Stars were his body hairs, Maharshiganaas were in the hair roots, Vidishas were his hands, Dishaas were his ears, Ashwini Kumars were his faculty of hearing, Vayu was his nose, Chandra Deva was his joking faculty, Dharma Deva was his thinking capacity, Satya was his voice and Saraswati was his tongue, Deva Mata Aditi was his neck, Vidya was his valiyaas or long poles; Pushas were his eye brows, Swarga dwar was his anus, Vaishvanara his face, Prajapati his vrushanaas, Param Brahma was his heart, Kashyapa Muni was his Pumstwa, Vasu Devata was his back, Marutganaas were his Sandhis, Rudra was his Vakshasthala, Mahaarnavaa was his Dhairya, Gangharvas were in his stomach; Lakshmi, Medha, Dhruti, Kaanti and all Vidyaas were in his 'Kati Pradesha'; the luster and radiance in the total Universe as also the Tapo teja or the power of meditation was the reflection of the magnificence of Natayana; Vedas and Sciptures and the huge Yagnaas and the Sacred Deeds of the Virtuous like Maharshis and Brahmanas were all inside in his 'kukshi' or belly. On viewing the Paramatma's 'Virat Swarupa', the so called 'Mahaasuraas' referred to earlier in ignorance by Chakravarti Bali before Prahlada's curse to him got burnt off like flies before a gigantic out berak of Fire! Having thus occupied the Universe in totality including the sub-terrain Sapta Paatalaas, Vamana Deva stated that since Bali took the water in his hand and donated the THREE FEET of Land, and blessed him to be the King of the Sapta Paatalaas and granted him long life till the and of

Manvantara of the on-going Vaisawata Manu. He also blessed Bali that all the 'Homa Phalas' at the time of Shraddhas to be performed even by Brahmanas, besides incomplete and defective Vratas, Agni Kaaryaas without ghee, and Kusha grass roots as also the daanas without detachment would belong to Bali and his followers.]

Sarga Twenty One: Lakshmana gets agitated at the turn of the events and so did Kousalya but Rama assuages their badly hurt psyche, but Rama explains that 'pitru vaakya paripaalana' ought to be his life's motto and dharma [Vishleshanas on 1. Bhagiratha and 2. Parashu Rama] [Vishleshanas on 1. Bhagiratha and 2. Parashu Rama . Bhagiratha: Emporer Sagara performed Asvamedha (Horse) Sacrifice and Indra hid the horse which was discovered by the unruly 60,000 sons of Sagara, nearby the place where Sage Kapila was practising Sankhaya Yoga and when disturbed badly, the Sage burnt all of them into ashes by his power. Sagar's another son Ansuman pursued the search of the Sacrificial Horse and found the Horse where Kapila was in meditation. Ansuman begged of the Sage about the where- abouts of his cousins and was informed that the hooligans were burnt to death and could be brought back to life only when washed by the River of Ganges which could only be brought down to Earth from the Skies. The Sacrifice of Horse having been performed by Sagara, Ansuman began his devotion to Lord Siva to bring Ganges down to Earth. But neither he nor his father Dilipa could succeed in the mission. It was for **Bhagiradha** to purse the operation further. His life's mission was to bring Ganges down to Earth from Heavens. Bhagiradha's prayers were indeed granted by Mother Ganges to the devotee but warned him that the force of the flow from the Heavens to Earth could be withstood by no less than Lord Siva Himself! Bhagiradha never stopped his grand endeavour and worshipped Lord Siva with ausretity and purity who agreed, not only because of the sincerity with which the devotee desired to fulfill the long-standing family wish but also owing to the reason of Universal advantage. The Lord assumed a massive body and controlled the force of the River flowing from Lord Vishnu's feet and bore the brunt of the impact on His head in His 'Jatajut' or twisted hairs and released but a portion of the Holy River. Bhagiradha directed the fiery flow by riding a fast Chariot and brought it to the place where the ashes of his forefathers were purified and their souls liberated to Heavens. Maha Bhagavata) Parashu Raama was a paradigm of paternal devotion and destruction of Evil. In the lineage was born Jamadagni and his wife Renuka gave birth to their youngest son Parasu Rama or Rama with an axe. He destroyed the whole clan of contemporary Kings who were tyrants and cruel to their Subjects. Devi Renuka the mother of Parasurama reached a River for bathing and found a Gandharva King too bathing with his wives. She had a slight fascination of the Gandharva in her mind. This was noticed by Jamadagni and as she returned from the river-bed ordered her head to be chopped. Son Parasurama killed his mother with his axe instantly even as an evil-feeling of mind was felt by her. Sage Jamadagni appreciated the spontaneous action and asked for a boon to Parasurama and the latter requested that his mother be brought to life again. Such was the paternal devotion and fearlessness of Parasurama who re-established Dharma and valour. Maha Bhagavata]

Sarga Twenty Five: With great difficulty, Rama finally convinces Kousalya to let him leave for 'vana vaasa'and she relented finally [Vishleshanas: Vritrasura- Dadhiti-Indra; Vinata - Garuda-Amrita.

[Vishleshanas: 1. on Vritrasura- Dadhiti-Indra - 2. Vinata - Garuda- Amrita: 1) Indra's Court is a masterpiece of the Universe, with Indra as a cynosure, surrounded by several semi-Gods and seated along with him by Sachi Devi. Guru Brihaspati, the Great Guide and Teacher of all the Subjects of the Court was among the Principal Advisor. In this ideal setting unfortunately, Brihaspati felt humiliated by Indra, as due respect to a Spiritual Master was not paid to him as Indra started cutting short and interrupting the Guru often. In course of time, Brihaspati stopped attending the Court. Indra no doubt apologised to the Guru, but the Guru did not relent. Lord Brahma called Indra and reprimanded him for his follies and had to look for an alternative. At the request of Demi-Gods, Brahma then appointed Visvarupa, the son of Diti's daughter Rachana and Prajapati Tvasta. In course of time, Indra got suspicious of the intentions of

Visvarupa, the newly appointed Guru of Devatas; although Visvarupa was the son of Prajapati Tvastha, his mother Rachana was the daughter of Diti whose credentials were of Demons. While performing 'Homams'/ 'Yagnas', he was in the habit of reciting the offerings to Fire God meant for Indra, Varuna and other Devatas loudly, but offered 'Ghee' (classified butter) secretly to demons as well. Also, Visvarupa who had three heads, used to consume 'Soma Ras' (Nectar) with one mouth, another with Wine and the third one with food. In a fit of rage, Indra killed Visvarupa, despite the knowledge that killing a Brahmin Priest would attract heavy penalty which was cleared by suitable means eventually.. On learning what Indra did, Tvastha performed high-quality spiritual ceremonies with a view to avenge the death of his son. As a result, a huge, frightful figure emerged from the Fire-pit, who looked like capable of destroying the entire Universe. Tvasta named the giant demon as Vritra, as he was the product of enormous asceticism covering all the planetery systems. The entire army of Devas, headed by Indra, pulled out their collective strength pitted against the one man militia of Vritra to no avail. They had to, in fact, run in different directions in sheer self defence. Finally they made a group prayer to Lord Vishnu for a quick solution as Vritra was growing in power minute by minute. The divine response came that Sage Dadhichi could only help retrieve the ugly situation. The Sage assimilated spiritual knowledge and passed on the same to Asvini Devatas who attained the position of Jeevan Muktha (Liberation in life itself). The Mantras, including Narayana Kavacha was passed on to Prajapati Tvasta who in turn passed it on to his son Visvarupa too. The Narayana Kavacha fortified the body of Sage Dhadhichi and only the backbone of the Sage could help to put an end to Vritra. The Devas thus made a collective prayer to Dadhichi to spare his body for the noble cause of ending Vritrasura. Dadhichi consented and his back- bone was converted into a mighty Thunderbolt by the Divine Architect, Viswakarma. A ferocious battle followed then, when Satya Yuga was ending and Threta Yuga was being ushered in, as the entire force of powerful Demons headed by Vritrasura on one side and the mighty Demi Gods headed by Indra seated on 'Airavatha'- the Heavenly Elephant- fortified in his arms with the thunderbolt made out of Dhadhichi's back bone prepared by Viswakarma. Before using the Thunderbolt, Vritrasura became furious and fought Indra on one to one basis. He tormented and put Indra to shame. He taunted Indra to say that he made the heinous crime of killing a Holy Brahmin, Viswarupa and got away from the sin in a surreptitious manner. He cursed Indra and told that he was a coward and culpable. Without the Thunderbolt he would have been reprehensible. Vritrasura further said 'Almighty in His enormous Wisdom showed the way to kill me to stabilise order in the Universe and that the kind of death which has been awarded to me by Super Force Himself is my reward and not a punishment, as He is the Creator, Preserver and Destroyer and His decision is ultimate.' By so saying Vritrasura invited the Thunderbolt to attain Salvation. Thus ended the memorable story of Vritrasura into the pages of the Great Puranas. When Vritrasura attained 'Moksha', all the Celestial Planets, Demi-Gods, Gandharvas and so on praised his valour, but Indra was the single being who was remorseful as he had the Guilt Complex to have killed two Brahmins, Visvarupa and Vritrasura. Indra's sinful reaction was chased by a feeling that a Chandala woman of old age suffering from untouchable diseases, till Indra ran away to Manas Sarovar, the abode of Goddess Lakshmi. When Demi-Gods, and Sages advised Indra to attain freedom from the sin to perform the Yagna of Asvamedha or Sacrifice of Horse in Vedic Method then only Indra got absolved of the sin. (Sources: Maha Bhagavata and Devi Bhagavata Puranas)

2: Vinata-Garuda-Amrita: Vinata and Kadru were among the two wives of Kashyapa Muni. Kadru hatched thousands of eggs creating snakes while Vinata hatched only two. Vinata broke one egg and found a child named Aruna but was deformed. Eventually Aruna became the charioteer of Surya Deva. In a mutual bet, Vinata and Kadru out of playfulness; the bet was as to which colour was of Ucchaishrava the celestial horse born during ksheera saagara mathana; Vinata replied that the horse was white but the bet was lost since the horse's tail was black. Vinata lost the bet and became Kadru's servant and served her as also the progeny of snakes. The second son of Vinata named Garuda too was born weak with a beak and wings like an eagle but with the features of a human. As Garuda grew up he noticed that his mother was a slave and did all the domestic work including looking after the snake children. The latter used to tauntingly address Garuda as the son of Vinata and order him to give him rides on the sky. One

day, Garuda was ordered by Kadru to take all her snake children to a near by island while Vinata should carry herself. In anger and disgust Garuda carried the snake children too high on the sky and the latter were half burnt by the heat of Surya Deva. Then as the snake kids screamed and Kadru prayed to Indra who instatantly saved them by rain showers. On landing back, Garuda told the serpent kids that he could keep on taking to many islands but on the condition that her mother be freed from the slavery. But Vinata disagreed and asked Garuda to strengthen his body by reaching Himalayas and lifting big tortoises and elephants to eat.Guruda did so and eventually made his body mighty and invincible. One day he found an elephant and tortoises and having lifted them, placed the preys on a srong branch of a huge tree to settle down and eat. But Vakalhilya Sages of miniature sizes hanging down the branch realised that the massive bird could fly them down to an island near by and befriended them by calling it as 'Garuda' or the one who could lift up massive loads. He helped them and they suggested to approach swarga on the high skies to secure amrit for longevity. As Garuda was nearing Swarga, Indra got concerened about the mighty sky and ran to Brihaspati. The latter, having realised the purpose of Garuda to lift amrita drops, alerted all the Devas including Vayu- Varuna- Agni-and so on and even the vajrayudha of Indra could not stop Garuda who finally did secure a pot of amrit and desired that his mother be freed from her slavery too. On way back, Vishnu appeared and smilingly offered that he could be his 'vaahana' for ever.!]

Sarga Twenty Seven: Devi pleads her accompanying Rama for the forest life.

[Vishlesana of Ashta Siddhis]

[Vishlesana of Ashta Siddhis: or Supernatural Powers are Anima or the ability of miniaturising oneself; Mahima is turning one self giant like; Laghima is the capacity to get oneself unusually light; Garima is to make the Self too gross and heavy; Prapti is to achieve any kind of mental desire; Prakamya or providing fulfillment of other's wishes; Vashitwa or capacity to control any other Party; Ishitwa or fully dominating over others as wished. Among many other Siddhis include Para Kaaya Pravesha or totally entering other's body and even Soul; Doora Shravana or distant hearing, Doora Darshana or Distant Vision or ability to see things or actions any where from other places; Manojavam or reaching a place as fast as a thought as also thought reading; Kamarupa or assuming the physical form of another Being-be it a moving species or an immobile like a mountain etc; Swacchanda Maranam or the gift to die at one's own wish; Deva Saha Kreeda Anudarshanam or the gift to view Deva Devis playing among themselves; Yatha Sankalpa Siddhi or accomplishing any thing by a mere thought; and so on.]

Sarga Thirty: Devi Sita sobs heavily and Rama had to finally concede [Vishleshana 1. on Devi Savitri- Satyavan- Yama Raja- and Satyavan's Lasting relief and 2. Surya Deva and Sanjana Devi]

[Vishleshana on Devi Savitri- Satyavan- Yama Raja- and Satyavan's Lasting relief:

Sati Savitri an outstanding Pativrata who defied Yama Dharma Raja into conviction!

Matsya Purana describes that in the days of yore, there was a King named Ashwapati of Shaakala Vamsa in Madra Desha (the present SialkotTerritory) who did not secure a son. Being highly devoted to Devi Savitri (Gayatri), he intensified his worship to her and performed a daily 'havan'/ oblation to Agni with white 'Tilas' (Sesame seeds) in the presence of thousand Brahmanas for ten months and finally Devi Savitri appeared to Ashwapati on a Chaturthi day and granted an illustrious daughter to him and queen Malati; the baby was named as Savitri since she was born by the grace of Devi Savitri. The daughter grew into a charming and highly virtuous girl; a chance visit of Brahmarshi Narada to the King and the daughter indicated that her husband would die on a specified day after her wedding. They both indeed were terribly worried about Narada's prophesy but she was married in due course to the son of King Jhumnatsen called Satyavan who was a charismatic prince. But unfortunately the King lost his kingdom

as also the eye sight of his and of the wife. Savitri emboldened herself and faced the situation with confidence and performed unreserved and steadfast service to the parents-in-law. At the sametime, she served her husband so much that Narada's prophesy was always ringing in her ears constantly and never allowed the husband even for a while. She also worshipped her Guru and followed each and every advice of his as a word of law. Thus she was worshipping her husband, her parents-in-law and her Guru as much as never in history had performed in the past. As the specific Chaturthi that Narada warned about her husband's death within a year, she took permission of her blind parents-in-law and her Guru and entered a jungle along with Satyavan and decided to keep her husband the happiest man and spent every moment with him by showing and sharing with him the most memorable beauties of Nature, the waterfalls, the cool waters, the fragrant and colourful flowers and so on. She described that coulpes of hares, crows, lions, monkeys, and deers were all in a state of maddening infatuation and such wonderful experiences tended to extend lives forever! Meanwhile, Satyavan felt like cutting wood from some dry trees but Savitri cautioned that he should not be away from her. In great fun, he said that he would never ever dare to be away from her. Suddenly, Satyavan felt excruciating pain in his head and fell flat. Even while realising as to what was happening, she sensed that some thumb-long figures tied to Satyavan's soul and were ready to draw it towards the Southern direction and visioned that Yama Dharma Raja himself was present there. She screamed with astonishment and closely following Yamaraja sobbed away and said: Sacred Scriptures assured that sincere devotion to mother provided this loka, devotion to father would secure Swarga and devotion to Guru would fetch Brahma loka but of what avail was her sincerity if Scriptures made false promises? Dharma Raja replied: Do not interfere with my duty; indeed the Scriptures were right, the dead soul was a virtuous person and that she too was a real Pativrata, but there was a fixed procedure of terminating a human being as per one's life span which was pre-determined and judgment was given as per norms. Savitri counter argued that for a woman, husband was a Deity and the provider of safety; a father, brother or a son were no doubt the safeguarders but the husband was above all and if he were to be forcibly taken away then she had no other alternative but to immolate her life. Dharma Raja was indeed taken back ar her firmness and smilingly said that such an incidence as this was rare and that he would be pleased to bestow any boon excepting her husband's life. As Savitri took up the opportunity, she requested him to restore the eyesight as also the Kingdom to her in-laws and Dharma Raja readily granted these boons and asked her to go back so that he could perform his duty. He also asked her not to follow further and tire out herself without any aim or useful purpose. Devi Savitri replied that she would never feel tired following great celebrities of the stature of Dharma Raja, even if they were annoyed because only such emblems of Dharma could sift persons of genuineness or other-wise; it was stated in the Scriptures that one should never be afraid of even Agni, poison, and snakes compared to evil persons where as 'Satpurushas'had an inner conscience and even if they were apparently rude and hurtingly outspoken, their basic quality would be outstanding and subject to change of stance such 'Mahatmas' test the authenticity of other persons being faced. Even normal and impartial Kings and Administrators would tend to examine the realities of those who make requests and a Deity par excellence like Dharma Raja would like to the make sure whether her supplications were pure and straight from the heart or not. That was the reason why Savitri felt untired of following Dharma Raja! Apparrently, Dharma Raja was pleased with the logic of Savitri and replied that without insisting on the life of Satyavaan, she might ask for another boon. She grabbed the opportunity and requested that her parents were not blessed with a son; despite performing countless Sacred deeds and their daily homas in favour of Gayatri / Savitri they succeded on giving birth to a daughter but not a 'Vamsoddhaaraka'. Dharma Raja conceded the second boon too and firmly admonished Savitri to pester further but should return home at once to

organise the obsequies of her departed husband. Having secured the second boon from Dharmaraja, Savitri still followed the former and stated that any human being would like to fulfil three essential steps of Dharma, Artha and Kama as the corner-stones of an ideal life. She affirmed: Dharmaarjanam tathaa kaaryam purushena vijaanataa, Tallaabham Sarva laabhebhyo yadaa Daiya viseshatey/ Dharmascha arthascha kaamascha trivargo janmanah phalam, Dharma heenasya kaamaarthey vandhyaa sutasamou Prabho/ Dharmadarthastathaa kaamo Dharmaallokadwayam tathaa, Dharma ekonuyaatyenam yatra kwachanagaaminam/ Shareerena samam naasham sarvamanya -ddhi gacchati, Ekohi jaayatey jantureka eva vipadyatey/ (Deva! Any Enlightened person seeks to earn Dharma since that secures the best of gains; the objective of life is to fulfil the means of Dharma viz. Artha and Kaama; conversely, wealth and fulfilment of desires alone without Dharma would be wasting one's life. Dharma would certainly fulfil the means to achieve it and could at the same time lead to Salvation too. In the final analysis, a dying person leaves every thing behind except Dharma and a person born does not bring any possessions nor takes anything at death). Dharma Raja was pleased with what Savitri said and asked her a third boon to that outstanding Pativrata who had been fighting for her husband's life. In turn, Savitri asked the boon: Varayaami twayaa dattam putraanaam shatamourasam, Anapatyasya lokeshu gatih kila na vidyatey/ (Deva! I request you to give me the boon of securing hundred sons of my own, since without obtaining sons, there would be no 'Sadgati'to her and husband as parents). Yama Raja then granted this boon also and Savitri commended Dharma as follows: Dharmaadharma vidhaanajna Sarva Dharma Pravartaka, Twameva Jagato naathaha Prajaa samyamaney Yamah/ Karmanaaman -rupena Yasmaad Yamayasey Prajaah, Tasmaad yai proachyasey Deva Yama ityeva naamatah/ Dharmaneymaah Prajaah Sarvaa yasmaad ranjayasey Prabho, Tasmaat tey Dharma raageti naama Sadbhirirnigadyatey/ Sukrutam dushkrutam chobhey Purodhaaya yadaa janaah/ Tatsavakaasham mrutaa yaanti tasmaat twam Mrutyu ruchyatey/ (Dharamaadharma Vidhaataa! You are the highest Administrator of Dharma; since you are the Chief Regulator of Dharma, you are called Yama. As you ensure that human beings do not indulge in Adharma and make them follow the Path of Truth, you are known as *Dharma Raja*. Since when human beings die, you confront them with a full account of their good and bad deeds, and hence you are knwn as Mrityu. As the dead persons are approached by you with the details of each action of theirs by each Kshana/ second, and measure of Kaala or Time, you are called as Kaala. Since you are the designated Authority to terminate the life of each and every 'charaachara' or mobile and immobile being, you are titled Antak. As you are the eldest son of Surya Deva who has the name of Viwasvaan, you carry the name of Vaiwasvata. As and when the life of any being is over, you catch him suddenly and that is why you have another name viz. Sara praanahara. Devesha! Thanks to you the Ruk-Yajur- Sama Vedas continue to popularise the Principles of Virtue and Justice eternally; you are the upkeeper of nobility and discipline the world over and I have come to the shield of safety from you; kindly give back my husband at once as my in-laws too are frantic now for his life. As Savitri concluded her desperate prayers, Dharma Raja asserted that he was giving away Satyavan's life back, that he would secure her hundred sons who would all become famous Kings, that her parents too would be blessed with hundred sons of virtue and that her brother would be popular as Malava, the King of Malva. Thus concludes the Sacred Legend of Maha Saadhvi Savitri: Tasmaad Saadhwyaha Striyah Pujyaah Satatam, Taasaamtu vakyam bhavateeha midhya na jaatu lokeshu charachareshu/Tasmaat sadaa taah pari pujaneeyaah, Kaamaan Samagraanabhi kaamayaanaih/ (Hence women of High Virtue ought to be worshipped since the Three Lokas are preserved due to their grace. The voices of Pativratas should never be ignored as they are worthy of veneration and fulfill their desires].

[Vishleshana on Surya Deva and Sangjna Devi:

Bhavishya Purana: It was on 'Saptami'Tithi that Bhagavan Surya made his initial manifestation to the Universe. His original Appearance inside a Holy Egg continued and from there itself, he grew and hence was called 'Martaanda'. He was wedded to the daughter of Daksha Prajapati, called Sanjna, and begot Dharma Raja, Vaiyasyata and Yamuna Devi. But since Sanjna was unable to bear the heat and dazzle of Surya Deva, created from her shadow a similar substitute, called Chhaya Devi to proxy her and left for Uttarakuru Desha to perform Tapasya in the form of as a horse. Meanwhile, Chhaya Devi gave birth to Shaneswara and Devi Tapati, but aftersome time, Chhava Devi's partial attitude to her own children and those of Sanjna came to be noticed; Yama Dharma pointed out to Chhaya Devi about the differential treatment and in course of the argument, Yama raised his right leg's ankle which was objected to by Chhaya and she gave a curse to Yama that if his feet ankles were placed on Earth they would be eaten by worms! As Dharma Raja complained to Surya Deva, the father assuaged the feelings of his son, who was in fact a specimen of virtue, saying that the 'shaap' of Sandhya Devi was not to be too harmful since, after all, worms might take away the flesh and blood of his ankle to Bhuloka but feet would be in tact any way. Sandhya was frightened and blurted the truth to Surva Deva that Sanina materialised her to deputise her and the latter left to her father's place; Daksha told Surya Deva that Sanjna could not withstand his heat and had been performing Tapasya in the form of a horse at Uttarakuru. Surya requested Vishwakarma to reduce his heat and radiance and after assuming the forms of a horse approached Sanjna and by the mutual contact of the noses of Surya and Sanjana in horse forms were born Ashvini Kumars and Raivata. Since the Episode of Sanjna and Surya occurred on Sapta Tithi of Magha Shukla Paksha as above, the day is considered as most auspicious to signify the union the Couple.]

Sarga Thirty six

[Vishleshana on Sagara Chakravarti and his son Asamanjasa:

Sagara Chakravarti of Ayodhya in the remote past whose Dharmapatni was Keshini of Vidarbha Desha who too was a Satyavaadini. His second wife was named Sumati, the daughter of Arishtanemi Kashyapa and the sister of Garuda Deva. Sagara Chakravarti performed tapasya in the Himalaya Range along with his wives atop on the Bhriguprastravana Shikhara. After a century long tapsya, Maharshi Bhrigu blessed the Chakravati that he would be famed in the entire universe till eternity and blessed him with several sons; he affirmed that one of the queens would beget a single son and another with sixty thousand sons. The King was overwhelmed with the boon of the Maharshi and politely enquired as to which of the Queens would beget only a single but famed 'vamshoddhaaraka' son; in turn the Maharshi asked the spouses about their individual preferences. Then the highly enthusiastic younger wife Sumati the brother of Garuda relplied that she would prefer strong sons of collective might and fame like Garuda himself, but Devi Keshini opted for a son like her Emporer husband, an outstanding example of virtue and justice with grit to sustain the Vamsha. Sagara and wives then prostrated and returned to the capital of the Empire. After a lapse of months, Devi Keshini gave birth to 'Asamanjasa' and Devi Sumati gave birth to a huge pot from which emerged sixty thousand sons of strengh and brightness. Right from birth, this son turned out to be evil. The word Asamanjasa means imbalanced or improper. Since the son was full of evil nature, he came to be known as Asamanjasa. As years rolled on, the Charavarty became a renowned father of an army-like sons of supremacy and command. Asamanajasa used to collect youngsters of the empire to compete in swimming and enjoy himself vicariuosly and the parents kept on complaining to Sagara. At first, Sagara ignored the misdeeds of his sons. He tended to dismiss them as juvenile exuberance. But Asamanjasa and his brothers continued to do as they pleased. They disrupted the performances of yajnas and oppressed religious people. They appropriated for themselves the offerings that were made to gods at sacrifices. Apsaras were abducted by these evil princes. They also stole flower from the divine parijata tree. Drinking was their favourite pastime, together with robbery and theft.

Finally Sagara Chakravarti banished Asamanjasa from the Empire. The forlorn Sagara decided to perform Ashvamedha Yagjna. But Indra and Devas began to plot so as to devise ways for bringing about the destruction of the evil sons of Sagara. There was a Sage named Kapila who was devoted to Vishnu and was so powerful that he was like the great Vishnu himself. Kapila had an ashrama in the Patala Lokas Indra and Devas prayed to Kapila to deliver the world from Sagara's evil sons. The Sacrifice Horse was launched and released under the supervision of Maharathi Amshuman the renowned 'dhanurdhara' and the famed son of Asamanjasa. But the Sacrifice Horse disappeared suddenly as was robbed away by Mahendra Himself. Since the launched Horse was missing, the Ritviks felt that it was not a good omen and that somebody appeared to have stolen and the robber be chased fast to recover it. Then presiding over the Yagjna, the Chakravarti commanded the sixty thousand mighty Sagara Putras to chase the thief atonce. He further ordered that even if they would have to go round the earth, they ought not return emply handed without the Sacrificial Horse. The Chakravari declared that he would stay put firmly along with the Ritviks and Amshuman. The mighty sixty thousand strong Sagara Putras divided the territories of earth and left in grand groups and pierced earth with their swords and trishulas so fiercely that bhudevi looked to have wept with excruciating pain. In the process, the entire earth all over' jambu dwipa' was dug up deep upside down as there were alarms of humans, animals and birds attracting the attention of celestials too as though there were repetitive and alarming earthquakes. The rattled celestials like Gandharvaas, as also Asuras, and Maha Sarpas from the earth down under being alarmed approached Brahma Deva and complained: Bhagavan pṛthivī sarvā khanyate sagarātmajaih, bahavaś ca mahātmāno vadhyante jalacārinah/ ayam yajñahano 'smākam anenāśvo 'panīyate, iti te sarvabhūtāni nighnanti sagarātmajah/ Brahma Deva! Sagara Chakravarti's sixty thousand strong sons of extraordinary physical prowess have broken down hells on earth and are digging earth deep under on the plea of searching for 'Yagnaashva' of Sagara's 'maha yaginya' and as a result earth had been dug up deep and entered the 'paatala lokas' too in a manner that the natives of earth and the nether lokas too are being decimated mercilessly and hence we are frightened being on the fringes of death! As the Sagara Kumaras continued the digging of Rasaatala for the missing Sacrificial Horse, Bhagavan Vishnu in the form of Kapila Maharshi reddened his eyes while the mighty Sagara Putras were engrossed in the unilateral task of digging again and again. They finally found the Sagara Chakravartis Yagnyaashva just near around the Maharshi. asmākam tvam hi turagam vajñiyam hrtavān asi, durmedhas tvam hi samprāptān viddhi nah sagarātmajān/ śrutvā tad vacanam teṣām kapilo raghunandana, roṣeṇa mahatāviṣṭo humkāram akarot tadā/ tatas tenāpramevena kapilena mahātmanā, bhasmarāśīkṛtāh sarve kākutstha sagarātmajāh/ As soon as hardworking Sagara Putras cited the 'Yagnaashva' grazing in the vicinity of a Maharshi, they started shouting with anger with pent up emotions of frustrations for several days and nights stating 'you the wicked Maharshi! how dare you had hidden the Sacrificial Horse here as it had been grazing grass coolly here; now we the mighty have arrived; be it well realised that we are the mighty sons of the almighty Chakravarti Sagara himself! The Maharshi on hearing the braggings of Sagara Kumaras made a 'humkaara' in raging fury and the totality of the sixty thousand valiant force were burnt to ashes. Meanwhile Sagara wondered as to what might have happened to the Sagara Putras and the Sacrificial Horse as it was a long time that they departed. Then Amshuman volunteered to depart and find out about the position of his uncles. Chakavarti alerted the grandson to be very vigilant as he might encounter potent and enemic elements all the way and hence should be well armed with swords and archery. He further alerted that some persons of cunningness and misleadings might also be faced and such persons would need to be killed mercilessly. Thus having accorded an auspicious farewell Amshuman entered Rasatala came across Diggaja Virupakshaand the former prostrated and the diggaja who blessingly

indicated that he would return soon with the Yaginaashva. Amshuman no doubt secured the Yaginaashva but was horrified to see the huge heaps of human ashes laid on the long streches on land. Amshuman realised that the entire Sagara sena was no more and started crying away for long. Then he found the 'Yagnyashya' moving nearby. Amshuman then desired to greet the ashes and looked for any water reserves nearby and searched a lot. Looking up at the high skies, he being equipped with the ability to vision far and high, spotted the Pakshi Raja Garuda who was the uncle of Sagara Putras as Devi Vinata the wife of Kashyapa begot Garuda the Vishnu vahana and Aruna the charioteer of the eka chakra of Surya Deva. Garuda Deva flew down and consoled Amshuman not to cry much as what all had happened was all for Loka Kalyana in the times ahead. Garuda Deva further stated that Maharshi Kapila being Vishnu himself had turned Sagara Putras for a purpose and hence it was not proper to perform 'jalaanjali' for the departed ones. He further stated that 'tarpanas' to the departed ones might as well be performed with the sacred waters of Ganga; Garuda aaserted to Amshuman: Gangā himavato įvesthā duhitā puruşarşabha, bhasmarāśīkṛtān etān pāvayel lokapāvanī/ tayā klinnam idam bhasma gaṅgayā lokakāntayā, şaştim putrasahasrāni svargalokam nayisyati/ Narashreshtha! Himavan's elder daughter Devi Ganga be brought down to bhuloka from her celestial abode. Garuda further advised to return back to the Kingdom along with the Sacrificial Horse for the time being. On return King Sagara heard as to what all happened from Amnshuman especially about the imperative of inviting the celestial lokas down to earth and relieve the Souls of the Sagara Kumaras. King Sagara then dutifully performed the Maha Ashva medha yagjna and after ruling the kingdom for thirty thousand years passed away peacefully. Consequent upon the death of Sagara Chakravarti, the entire public of the Kingdom unanimously chose Amshumaan as the King. Thereafter the illustrious Amshuman having ruled over the kingdom for ever thirty thousand years, departed for tapasya on the heights of Himalayas and thereafter reached swarja loka. Meanwhile King Amshuman's son Dilip who subsequently became the King recalled that that Chakravarti Sagara's famed sons who were his ancestors could not attain salvation yet due to the reason of Maha Garuda's directive that only the flows of Sacred Ganga could redeem. King Dilip kept on wondering through out his life as to how to bring down from the skies; meanwhile he was blessed with a son as named Bhagiratha who even from childhood outstanding traits of Dharma and what was more interesting was of grit and determination. The King Dilip who too proved himself as a King of virtuosity lived for thirty thousand years having well sustained the traditional values of Kingship established by the immemorial Sagara Chakravarti himself, even as planning ambitiously as to how best to bring Devi Ganga down to earth and at the end was welcomed into Imndra Loka. As Bhagiratha assumed Kingship, it looked that all the celesials came down and witnessed the royal ceremonies. He ruled the Kingdom strictly on the basis of the well established precepts of Dharma and Nyaya for good number of years but as there was no further progeny forthcoming for long, the divine duty of bringing Ganga down to earth became intense day after day and having determined so entrusted the responsibility of Kingship to his Ministers and retired to severe tapasya at the Punya kshetra <u>Gokarna</u>. His life's mission was to bring Ganges down to Earth from Heavens. Bhagiradha's prayers were indeed granted by Mother Ganges to the devotee but warned him that the force of the flow from the Heavens to Earth could be withstood by no less than Lord Siva Himself! Bhagiradha never stopped his grand endeavour and worshipped Lord Siva with ausretity and purity who agreed, not only because of the sincerity with which the devotee desired to fulfill the long-standing family wish but also owing to the reason of Universal advantage. The Lord assumed a massive body and controlled the force of the River flowing from Lord Vishnu's feet and bore the brunt of the impact on His head in His 'Jatajut' or twisted hairs and released but a portion of the Holy River. Bhagiradha directed the fiery flow by riding a fast Chariot and brought it to the place where the

ashes of his forefathers were purified and their souls liberated to Heavens. Till date, humanity continues to be grateful to him for the ever lasting memory of his gigantic efforts in our reaping the fruits of his labour in the huge land-mass covering entire 'Aryavarta' (Northern India)!.]

Sarga Forty: Sita Rama Lakshmanas perform pradakshinas to Dasharatha and the mothers, Sita Rama Lakshmanas alight the chariot and the crowds get terribly agitated; as of

Vishleshana on Meru Mountain and Surya Deva:

Surva Deva descending from Meru Parvata indeed.

Meru Parvata: Meroh praachayaam dishaayaam tu Manasottara murdhani, vasvoka saaraa Mahendra puri hema parishkritaa/ Dakshinena punar meror Maanasasvaiva prishthatah, Vaivasvatonivasati Yamaasamyam -ana pure/ Prateechyaam cha punrmero manassyaiva murdhani, Sukhaa naama puri ramyaa Varunasyaapi dheematah/ Disyuttarasyaam Merestu Manassyaiva murdhani, tulyaa Mahendra puraastu Somasyaapi Vibhaapuri/Maanasassyottare prishthe Lokapaalaas -chaturdisham, sthitaa dharma vyavastaardham Dharma samrakshanaaya cha/ Loka paalo parishtha -atthu sarvato dakshinaayane, kaashthaa gatasya Suryasya gatim tasyanibodhata/Dakshinopa- krame Suryah kshipteshuriva gacchati, jyotishaam chakramaadaaya satatam parigacchati/ Madhyata chamaraavatyaam yadaa bhavati Bhaskarah, Vaivasvate Samyamane udyamstatra pradrishyate/ Sukhaayaa mardharaatryaam tu Vibhaayaa mastameticha, Vaivasvate Samyamane madhyaahne tu Raviryadaa/ Sukhaayaa matha vaarunyaamuttishtthantu drishyate, vibhyaayaamardharaatram tu maahendryaa mastameticha/ Sukhaayaamatha vaarunyaam madyhaahne cha aryamaa yadaa, vibhaavaam Somapuryaam tu uttishtthati Vibhaavasuh/Raatyardhamamaraavartyaam astameti Yamasya cha,Somapuryaam Vibhaayaam tu maddhaahnechaaryamaa yadaa/ Maahendryaa mamaraavartyaam mudgacchati iyaakarah, Ardha raatram Samyamane Vaarunyaamastameticha/ (To the east of Meru Parvata, atop the Manasarovara mountain, there exists Vasvaikasaara named Mahendra Nagara made of gold. Again to the south of Meru Parvata's back side, there is Manasaparvata and the Samyamani Pura where Lord Yama the illustrious son of Surya Deva resides. To the west of Meru parvata, on the west of Manasaparvata atop Sukha Purawhere Varuna Deva resides. To the north of Meru Parvata atop the Mahendra parvata, Vibhavari Pura where Chandra Deva resides. Behind the Manasotara on the four sides, the Ashta Dik Loka Paalakas are placed to protect Dharma and in the dakshinaayana period, Surya Deva oversees the activities of the Ashta Palakas during his period. Now, about the dakshinayana the travel of Surya; in the jyotishchakra in his pradakshina, He reaches Amaravati the capital of Indra Deva by the midday on earth; that would be when it coincides with Yama Raja's rising time, in Chandra's mid night time and so on. As Surva performs pradakshina or self-circumam -bulation, he also does the same to nakshatras too do likewise. Precisely at the 'udaya' and 'astama' timings he does exactly the same year in and year out. At the Sun Rise he gradually increases his radiance till the afternoon and gradually reduces his tejas till the dusk time. In this way, Surya Deva performs pradakshina or circubambulation of self and so do the nakshatra mandali too. These all travel southward and at the rise and setting timings are defined as also at the poorvaahna and aparaahna or pre noon and afternoon they pass through two each of Deva puris and at the noon time, one Devapuri. Thus Surya from the rise gains momentum of radiance till afternoon and gradually lessens the severity of the kiranas thereafter till Sun set. Surya has the constant awareness of he 'udaya' and 'astamaya' at the east and west directions; while radiating the eastern side, spreading the heat and illumination on the sidewise north and south and decreasing the severity till disappearance. Meru Parvata is stated to be situated in the north of the highest of all the mountains; Lokaaloka is situated in the southern direction and since Prithvi's shadows are spread over, those Beings situated on the other side of the hemisphere are unable to Surya in the nights. Thus Surya Deva with a lakh of kiranas reaches the mid portion of 'Pushkaradwipa' by that time, despite his speed of one 'muhurta' or two ghadis at the rate of one thirty lakh and fifty thousand yojanas plus! Thus Surya Deva as he traverses southward for six months turns to uttarayana or northbound. At the time of Dakshinaayana, Surva would have reached the travel to the mid portion of Pushkara dwipa. This dwipa is as thrice as

distant from Mru to Manasarovara! Now the distance on the southern course or Dakshinayana is of nine crore fifty lakh yojanas. After the dakshinayana, Surya reaches the Vishuva sthaana or the 'khagoleeya vishuvadvritta bindu' at the north of Ksheera sagara. Vishvan mandala parinama is three cores twenty one lakh yojanas. As Surya's course gets north bound or uttarayana entering 'shravana nakshatra', then his course would be towards gomoda dwipa in between the south and north parts and in between are located jaradrava - Iravata to the north and Vaishvanara to the south. Towards north is named Naaga veedhi and to the south is the Ajaveedhi.]

Sarga Forty Eight

[Vishleshana on Tapatrayas:

Adhi Bhoudika or Ailments of Physical Nature; Adhyatmika or of Mental-Psychological Nature; and Adhi Daivika or of Natural Calamities like Earth quakes, floods, lightnings etc. beyond human control. In Vishnu Purana: Maharshi Parashara described about Tapatriayas or the Three Kinds of Difficulties that all human beings are subjected to as also the means of realising the Paramartha Swarupa. The Tapatriayas originate due to Adhyatmika, Aadhi Daavika and Adhi Bhoutika reasons. Adhyatmika based Tapaas are either due to 'Shaaririka' (physical) ailments or 'Manasika' (psychological) imbalances. Shaaririka Tapaas include dieseases related to head, digestive, heart, breathing, vision, limbs, skin, fevers and so on; related are the various physiological problems of blood-urinary-pelvic nature. Manasika Tapaas are related to Kama, Krodha, Bhaya, Dwesha, lobha, Moha, Vishada, Shoka, Asuya, Apamana, Irshya, Matsara etc. Adhi Bhoutika Tapaas are due to the difficulties attributed to animals, birds, Pishachaas, Serpents, Rakshasaas and poisonous related creatures like scorpions. The troubles on account of Adhidaivika nature are due to cold, heat, air, rains, drought, water, earthquakes, cyclones and so on. Additionally, the troubles are related to birth, childhood, youth, old age, ignorance, Avidya, loneliness, smell, lack of resources, poverty, immaturity, inexperience, lack of opportunity, fear of death, death itself and multiple kinds of experiences of Naraka. Maharshi Parashara emphasized that there are problems of excessive of opulence, excellent health, excessive youth, and such other excesses and some times ignorance is bliss. More so there could be Tapaas due to discriminations of sex, age, social status, experience, opportunity, family background; origin of birth viz. religion, Varnashrama and age. Disappoint -ments in life, more specifically relating to money and fame, including their earnings, perservation and its vinasha or destruction happen to be yet source of Tapatriya.]

Sarga Fifty: Ramas arrive at Shringavera pura on the banks of Ganga- stay overnight- and Nishada Raja Guha welcomes them-[Vishleshana on Parama Shiva's 'Jataajuta' vide Sarga Forty Three of Valmiki Baala Ramayana is [Vishleshana on Parama Shiva's 'Jataajuta' vide Sarga Forty Three of Valmiki Baala Ramayana is

quoted: Maharshi Vishvamitra addressed Shri Rama that after Brahma Deva gave the boon to Bhagiratha who was literally standing with heightened foot fingers, the latter got busy as immersed in invoking Maha Deva. Subsequently Pashupati Shiva too appeared and confirmed: *Prītas te 'ham naraśreṣṭha kariṣyāmi tava priyam, śirasā dhārayiṣyāmi śailarājasutām aham/ tato haimavatī jyeṣṭhā sarvalokanamaskṛtā, tadā sātimahad rūpam kṛtvā vegam ca duḥsaham, ākāśād apatad rāma śive śivaśirasy uta/
'Narashreshtha! I am pleased with your inhuman determination and selfless dedication to some how usher Devi Ganga down to earth and provide salvation to your ancestors; indeed I shall be delighted to fulfil your ambition and help to hold the mighty flows of Ganga into my 'jataajuta' the twisted and coarse head hairs from 'akaasha'. Then Shri Rama! As Paramashiva sanctioned Bhagirath's life time ambition, Himalaya Deva's elder daughter and Devi Parvati's elder sister Devi Ganga readily consented but had only one reservation that as she jumps down to Shiva's jatajuta the flows might further flow down to*

Patala instead of being held on earth itself! Shiva realised Devi Gangas impertinent remark and decided that he would hide her flows right into his jatajutas. Then Devi Ganga jumped down on Shiva mastaka and he held the flows which got instantly absorbed in the jatajutas. The flows of Ganga lost their way in the labyrinthins of Shiva's jataajuta and the forceful flows could not even reach earth, let alone down to Patala as Ganga wondered. Bhagiratha who had wondered as to where the flows disappeared and once again resorted to deep meditation to Maha Shiva. The latter released one of the forceful flows of Ganga to fall down to Bindu Sarovara as they assumed seven flows of which Hladini-Paavani and Nalini turned east; while Suchakshu-Seeta-and Mahanadi Sindhu flowed westward. Saptamichanvgaat taasaam Bhageeradham tadaa, Bageerayopi Raajarshi divyam syandanamaasthitah/ Praayadagne mahatejaa gangaatam chaapyanuvrajat, gaganaacchhankara shirastato dharanimaagataa/ The seventh flow of Gangafollowed the chariot of Bhagiratha, he had thus accomplished the unique task of bringing Ganga from Shiva's head down to the his following! As the flows of Ganga followed thus, the speed and ferocity of the waves attracted fishes, tortoises and various water borne species joined as earth appeared to have become far richer thereafter. This superb attraction happening on earth instantly raised the curiosity of the celestial beings as though thousand more Survas got presented by themselkves. As the flows of Ganga got stabilised with speed and thrust gradually near normalcy reached and got widened from bank to bank pushing houses and crop fields too. Gandharvas and several Devas gradually gatherd themselves as the flows of Ganga rolled down from Shiva's head and his unimaginable hairs themselves and eventually crowds of angels took to heartily taking in the pure sweetness of the waters, bathing in them and swimming too thouroughly revelling in the irresistible flows. And so do humans and innumerable other species especially due to their firm and proven belief of the sacred flows and even drops of 'Ganjajala'. In this context, Brahmarshi Vishvamitra addressing Shri Rama affirmed that Deva-Rishi-Daitya-Danava, Rakshasa, Gandharva, Yaksha, Kinnara, Naaga, Sarpa, Apsaras, all the entirety of water species, besides men, women, and animals made fast inroads into the ever purifying flows of Sacred Ganga. Ta to hi yajamaanasya Jahnordbhutakarmanah, gangaa saplaavayaamaasa yagjnavaatam mahatmanah/ Tasyaavalepanam jnaatvaa kruddhho Jahnuscha Ragahva, apibat tu jalam sarvam Gangaayaah paramadbhutam/ As the flows of Ganga are fierce and roaring with nasty sounds, Rajarshi Jahnu was performing a maha yagina, and the furious flows of Ganga entered right into the yagina vedika; the Rajarshi got terribly furious at the alleged arrogance of Ganga and thus drank up the River waters totally in a manner that not even a drop of the River remained on earth. Deva Gandharva Rishis were shocked and stunned at the crisis and prayed collectively to very kindly revive Ganga once again stating that he was a father figure and Devi Ganga his daughter. The Rajarshi was pleased with the prayers and finally released Ganga through his ears and the father daughter relationship got universal recognition eversince.]

Sarga Fifty Two: Guha navigates Sita Rama Lakshmanas across Ganga- Rama bids farewell to the reluctant Sumamtra- Sita's intense prayers to the Sacred Ganga- after crossing Ganga reach Vatsa desha for night halt- [Vishleshanas: 1) on Vaanaprastha Dharma as quoted brom Manu Smriti -2) on Prayaga

[Vishleshana on Vaanaprastha Dharma as quoted brom Manu Smriti -Aachaara Khanda:

Every snaataka Dwija pursuant to the Grihastaashrama into the Vaanaprastha stage of life should pursue the Vidhis or principles of dharma with determination and 'indriya nigrah', while aging with wrinkles and white hair as per the pratice of generations after generation. He might even discard cultivation entrusting him to sons and retire into forests with his wife but retaining his duty of the daily 'agni karyas' along with the required implements being prepared for eating fruits and roots, and wearing old yet clean clothes and unshaven beards or hairs yet with bathings in mornings and evenings esuring 'baahyaantara shuchi'. He should offer 'bali' to share his food with creatures and insects, give away charities and perform 'atithi seva' as per his ability, as also daily vedaadhyayana. Vaitaanikam cha juhuyaadagnihotram yathaavidhi, darshamaskandayan parva paurnaa -maasam cha yogatah/Riksheshtyaagrayanaam chaiva chaaturmaa -svaani chaaharet, turaayanam cha kramasho dakshasyaayanameva cha/ Vaitaanikaagni is called the

merger of Aahavaneeya and Dakshinaagi and thus performing the Vaitaagni as prescribed is what is expected of dwija during the vaanaprastaashrama stage of life. At the same time, he should not slip away from the duty of 'ishti karyas' of agni on darsha pourami and amavasyas. The prescribed shrota karmas of Nakshatreshti and Aagraayaneshti be neglected nor those during Chaaturmasyas and at Uttaraayana-Dakshinaayana transition days of Surva Deva's directional changes. The Vaanaprastha Prajas are also required to perform homa karyas with the purodasa cakes and boiled karus prepared by their own hands of fresh grains of Vasanta or Sharad ritu crops and the remains after the homa kriyas be eaten by themselves as tempered with salt. They should otherwise eat the vegetables, roots and fruits as also the dried fruits and oil exracts but avoiding madya-maamsas and banned fruits like bhurina-shighrukasleshmaankas as also honey. During the month of Ashviyuja, one should discard stored food items or old clothes. The Vaanaprasthaa should only consume food cooked by fire or ripened as fruits duly emaciated by teeth or pulped or digestible or of grinding tools. Naktam chaannam samashneeyaadhivaa vaaahritya shaktitah, chaturthakaaliko vaa syaat syaad vaapyashtamakaalikah/ Chaandraayanavidhaanairvaa shuklakrisnecha vartayet, pakshaantayorvaapyashneeyaad yavaagum kvathitaam sakrit/ or food be consumed as nakta bhojana that is to refrain from eating as per one's ability or take food either in the day or night, keep 'upavaasa' or fasting till the next night or the day there after till the fourth day. Chaandraayana bhojana involves reducing the fistful food intakes from prathama to amaavasya and in the reverse way from prathama to purnima during krishna paksha and shukla paksha respectively. As an alternative, the Vaanaprasthas might always subsist on flowers, fruits and roots fallen on earth. Besides performing 'trikaala snaanas' or mornings-middays and evenings,a Vaanaprastha should practise 'Panchaagni saadhana' or maintaining four fires around, besides Surya on the sky during greeshma months; the rainy season under the open skies and in the hemannta ritu or of winter season wearing wet clothes to always sustain the rigours of austerities. At the time of 'trikaala snaanas' in mornings-middays and evenings, tarpanas to Devas and Pitru Devas be executed and possibly achieve higher levels of asceticism. In the quest for harshness and severity of one's own body and psyche, the vaanaprastha might be seated in the midst of sacred fires around and within under open skies sans shelter, maintain silence and bare subsistence on meagre intakes of roots and fruits. Etaashchaanyaashcha seveta deeksha vipro vane vasan, vividhaashchau panishadeer aatmasansiddhaye shruteeh/Rishibhirbraahmanaishchaiya grihasthaireva sevitaah, vidyaatapo vivriddhyartham shareerasya cha shuddhaye/ or even the afore mentioned vannaprastha dharmas apart, Brahmanas who even otherwise practise accomplishment of 'tadaatmya' or union of Antaratma and Paramatma as was explained in the various Sacred Scriptures like Upanishads do constantly strive for and so do great Maharshis. Thus such exemplary Brahnanas are straight to walk in north easterly direction and always on the singular path of virtue, live on water and air, being totally self-controlled until the final body collapse but with total fulfillment with neither fear nor grief nor even attachment but of 'sat plus nyaasa' or of Interaction with Sanyasa literally at the final destination of bliss]

[Vishleshana on Prayaga: Prayaga (Allhabad): Maha Padma Purana eulozises Prayaga in Uttara Khanda as follows: Jahnavi Ravisutaa Parameshthiputri Sinndhutrayaabharana Tirthavara Prayaga, Sarvesha maamanugrahaana nayaswa chordhwamantastamo dashavidham dalaya swadhaamnaa/ (Prayaga Tirtha Raja which wears the ornament of three Unique Rivers of Ganga from Vishnu paada-Yamuna the daughter of Surya-Saraswati the daughter of Brahma! Sarveswara! Be very kind to me and lift my stature and demolish the ten folded 'Avidyaandhakara' or the Darkness of Ignorance and enlighten me into knowldge of brilliance!) Vaageesha Vishnaveesha Purandaraadyaah Paapapranaashaaya Vidaam Vidopi, Bhajanti yatteeramaneela neelam sa Tirtha raajo jayati prayaagah/ (Victory to you Prayaga Tirtha Raja! You are so illustrious that Brahma-Vishnu-Shiva- Indraadi Devas as also Rishi-Maharshis vie with each other to rejoice the Pure White and Blue waters of three Maha Nadis converging together!) Kaalindajaa sangamavaapya yatra pratyaagataa swargadhuni dhuneti, Adhyaatma taapatrayam janasya sa TeerthaRaajo jayati Prayagaha/ (Victory to you Prayaga Tirtha Raja! Manushyas on accomplishing

the Sangama of Ganga- Kalindini-Yamuna witness themselves the complete destruction of 'Tapatrayas' viz. Adhyatmika or Issues of Psychological and Mental nature, Adhi daivika or God made problems and Adhibhoutika or of physical ailments!) Padma Purana further states: Victory to you Prayaga Tirtha! You assume bright blue colour and its varying shades which indeed do pacify human beings from the cyclical tribulations of deaths and births. Victory to you Prayaga Tirtha Raja! Brahma and all the Devatas do frequently take reprieve from their own duties only to enjoy your comforting diversion and even Yama dharma Raja too sometimes frees himself from wielding his ever whipping 'danda' just to refresh and rejuvenate himself with the tranquility of the Sangama Raja. Victory to you Prayaga Tirtha Raja! Those persons who dive and bathe in this Sangama of three illustrious Rivers viz. 'Brahminaputri Tripathastriveni' would reap the 'Akshata Yaga Phala' and make way to Brahma Loka! Lokaanaam akshamanaa -naam Makhakritushu Kalou Swargakaamair japastutyaadi shtotrairvachobhih kathamamarapada prapti chintaaturaanaam/ Agnishtomaashwamedha pramukhamara phalam samyagaalocchhya saanga Brahmaadyaisteertha rajobhimatada upadishtoyameva Prayagah/ (In Kaliyuga, human beings no doubt are desirous of attaing Swarga but are unable to execute Yagjna-Yaagaas but could resort to Japa-Stuti-Stotra-Paatha and the like; at same time they are desirous of achieving Ashwamedhaadi Yagina phala too; so Brahma and Devatas thought over and materialised Prayaga Tirtha Raja to achieve the similar phala by merely but sincerely observe the bathing regulations and secure Salvation). Grahaanancha yathaa Suryo Nakshatraanaa yathaa Shashi, Tirthaanaamuttamam tirtham Prayagaasyamanuttamam/ (Just as among the Grahas Surya is the outstanding and among the Stars the Moon, Prayaga indeed the the Unique among the Tirthas) Prayage tu Naro yastu Maagha snaanam karoti cha, Na tasya phala samkhyasti shrunu Devarshi sattama/ (Those who perform Maagha Snana at Prayaga, they have no measure of Phala sampatti!) To know about the further 'mahima' or Unique significance of Prayaga, one might refer to Matsya, Kurma, Agni Maha Puranas also! The very fact that there is a Sangam of three Maha Nadis lends the credential of Prayaga to be the King of Tirthas in Bharat. As there are three distinct river flows have their confluence, this Tirtha rightly designated as Triveni distinguishes itself as Agni Swarupa or of Yagjna Vedi; the intermediate region of Ganga-Yamuna is of 'Garhapatyagni'; where as the region beyond Ganga viz. Pratishthanpur-Jhansi is of 'Ahavaniyaagni' and the Region beyong Yamuna ie. Alarkapura and Araila is to be considered as 'Dakshinaagni'. Hence those who decide to stay at Prayaga for three nights representing the Three Rivers signified as three types of Agni, would derive the benefit of three Sacred Rivers and three forms of Agni! There is a Magha month celebration at Prayaga and those visiting the Maha Tirtha are in this month are designated as Kalpa Vasis! Several such Kalpavasi Yatris residing at the Triveni Sangama make it a point to reside here during Soura Maasa Makara Samkranti upto Kumbha Sankranti and as per Chandramaana stay right up to the end of Maagha Month. Now every twelve years there is a Maha Kumbha at Prayaga when Brihaspati is in Vrishabha Raasi and Surya is in Makara Raasi; every such six years, Ardha Kumbha is observed and then again there is a srtong arrival of yatris and a big Mela is organised at Prayaga. Duties at Prayaga: Yatris to Prayaga Tirtha are expected to observe Upavasa or fasting, Japa, Daana, and worship. 'Mundan' is a normal duty for males and widows whereas for married women, 'Veni daana' or cutting of long head hair edges duly tied together smeared with Mangala Dravyas like turmeric powder and scented sindura powder are to be slashed with scissors and the hair pieces so cut along with recitation of Mantras blessing long marital life with longevity of husbands; there after 'Mangala Snanas' or Sacred and auspicious bathings are performed again with Mantra recitals while leaving the discarded pieces of their hair edges so slashed formally to the flows of Holy Triveni Sangam. The concerned husbands who would have already bathed earlier should once again perform three dips in the flow by holding the shoulders of their wives. There after at the designated

Sangama Sthala where the confluence of Ganga and Yamuna waters of brightness and blueish hues and distinct temperatures of coldness and mild warmth-with Saraswati as the under current, puja is to be performed with three dips again possibly or if travelling by boat, by sprinkling of the Sacred Sangam flows on heads. Pinda Puja/ Tarpana and Pinda daana in favour of Pitru Devas would be the next duty to be observed on banks of Prayaga Sangam. Main Devasthaanas at Prayaga: Trivenim Madhavam Somam Bharadwaajam cha Vaasukim, Vandekshaya vatam Shesham Prayagam Tirtha naamakam/ (Triveni, Bindumadhava, Someshwara, Vaasuki naaga, Akshya Vata, and Sesha Naaga or Baladeva are the principal Tirthas worthy of including in the Prayaga Yatra itinerary. Veni Madhava is a renowned Vaishnava Peetha nearby Triveni Sangama adjacent to Akshaya Vata. This Bindu Madha in water form comprises twelve Madhavas viz. Shankha Madhava, Chakra Madghava, Gada Madhava, Padma Madhava, Ananta Madhava, Bindu Madhava, Manohara Madhava, Asi Madhava, Sankashtahara Madhava, Adi Venu Mahava, Adi Madhava, Shri Veni Madhava; these Madhavas are either Murtis, or Sacred Rocks or of Jala Swarupa Sthanas. Akshaya Vata is near Patalapura Cave as a dry tree bush on Yamuna River bank where several Murtis are on display like Annapurna, Maha Lakshmi, Gauri Ganesha, Bala Mukund, Maha Deva, Saraswati, Vishnu, Nrisimha, Rama Sita Lakshmana Hanuman etc. Besides these, the other Mandirs are Mankemeshwar Mandir of Shiva and Somanatha reachable by boat, Bindu Madhava already mentioned, Naga Vasuki and Bala Deva or Shesha Mandir, Shiva Kuti or Koti Tirtha, Bharadwaja Ashrama, all on Ganga Banks. Lalitha Devi Mandira as mentioned in 'Tantra Chudamani' is one of the Shakti Peethas at Prayaga where Devi Sati's right hand finger fell following her mortal body parts slicing off by Vishnu Chakra and Devi's name is called Alopi Devi. Prayag's Antarvedi Parikrama is stated to take a couple of days commencing from Triveni sangama Snaana and Bindu Madhava worship followed by Yamuna bank's Paapa vimochana Tirtha, ParashuramaTirtha, Govardhana Tirtha, Pischacha mochana Tirtha, Manah Kameshwara Tirtha, Kapila Tirtha, Indreshwara Shiva, Takshaka Kunda, Takshakeshwara Shiva, Kaaliya hrada, Chakra Tirtha, Sindhu Sagara Tirtha near Kakaraghaat, and on the road to Pandava Kupa, Varuna Kupa in Gadhayi Sarai, Kashyapa Tirtha, Dravyeshwara nadha Shiva, Surya Kunda and so on. There after, Hanumam darshana and Triveni Snaana would terminate the Antarvedi Parikrama. Bahir Vedi Parikrama is stated to be taken up about ten days but after this one has to undertake Antar vedi parikrama too. Kurma Purana details an account of Prayaga Mahatmya by narrating of Yudhishtara's remorse and anguish on the conclusion of the Kurukshetra Battle where not only Kaurava cousins but even Bhishma, Karna his own elder brother, several uncles, Gurus and assiciates were killed; as he desired to perform 'Prayaschitta' or formal atonement/ expiation the Vedic way, Maharshi Markandeya suggested Prayaga Titha darshana and penance., since this Kshetra was protected against Evils by some sixty thousand bows and arrows in favour of Ganga and Sabita Deva riding seven horses protected River Yamuna, while Devi Saraswati flowing under ground has the protection of Brahma himself; Indra and Devas kept constant vigil, Vishnu is ever protective and Maha Deva resides on the Vata Vriksha / banyan tree on the banks of the Sangama. The Purana is quoted: Prayaagaam smaranaamasya sarvamaayaati sankshamam, Darshanaat tasya Tirthasya mnaamasamkirtinaadapi, Mrittikaa labhanaad vaapi Narah paapaat pramuchyate/ (The very thought of Prayaga would suffice to destroy sins; Prayaga darshana and naama samkirtana or even the touch of Prayaga sand would evaporate all sins). Along with the banks of Yamuna and Ganga are countless Tirthas each of which has a description; Kurma Purana highlights Yamuna's southern side two Maha Nagas Kambal and Ashwatara who were great devotees of Parama Shiva stayed at that Tirtha and Snaanas there would ward off 'sarpa badha' forever. Another Tirtha named 'Hamsa prapatana' near Pratishthaanapura and the belief is that Apsara landed there by Hamsa/ Swan and bathing there enriches beauty of body and

heart; Koti Tirtha bathing and possibly death is stated to ensure Swarga nivasa for crores of years. On Ganga's eastern side is Sarva Samudra Gahvara or Cave and stay there for three days and nights observing fast and celibacy and mental control performing meditation would fetch Ashwamedha Yagna phala. Sangama snaana in Maagha month for three days ensures enormous material fulfillment and at the termination of life the assured passage to higher Lokas. Those who could perform 'karishagni seva' or tapasya within a circles of flames of dried cow dung on the banks of the Sangama Place would bestow and preserve diseaseless body and physical fitness. Yet another Tirtha on the northern side of River Yamuna ensures Runa Vimochana or freedom from indebtedness.]

Sarga Fifty Four: Ramas reach Bharadvaaja ashram and the Maharshi advises them to settle at Chitrakoota mountain - Vishleshana on Chitrakoota

Vishleshana on Chitra koota: Most significant fact is that Lord Shri Ram along with Devi Sita and brother Lakshman spent years together at this 'Tapobhumi'or Meditation Land of Sanctity- where Maharshi Atri and his ilustrious follower Munis stayed too-during his forest life as per his father Dasharatha's wish. Chitrakoot means the 'Hill of many wonders'. Chitrakoot falls in the northern Vindhya Mountain range. Chitrakoot Parvat Mala includes Kamad Giri, Hanumaan Dhara, Janki Kund, Lakshman pahari, and Devangana famous Religious mountains. It was in these deep forests that Shri Rama-Devi Sita and Lakshmana spent a few months of their fourteen years of exile. Renowned Sages like Atri-Anasuyaand Vaalmiki did their tapasyas. Shri Rama was stated to have performed his father's obsequies during his exile period. Valmiki speaks of Chitrakoot as an eminently holy place inhabited by the great sages, abounding in monkeys, bears and various other kinds of fauna and flora. Both the Maharshis Bharadwaja and Vaalmiki paid outstanding tributes to Chitrakoota as one of the most picturesque places of dharma and satkarma. And so did Kalidasa and Tulasi Das in later times, its this bewitching impact of this place. At Chitrakut, the parikrama or circumambulation of Kamadagiri /mountain and Shri Rama Darshan are the significant tasks. The parikrama is to take some five days of some 30 km. Starting from Raghava Prayaga 'snana' at Sitapur- Koti Tirtha, Sita Devi's Kichen, Hanuman Dhara-Keshavaghar, Pramodavana, Janaki kund, Sirasa vana, Spkatika shila, Anasuya- Gupta Godavari snana, Kailasa Parvata darshana- and from Chabepura to Bharat kupa and Rama Shayya or Rama's bed. On way in the Parikrama occur Mukharavinda where snana is of importance followed by temples of Hanuma, Saakshi Gopala, Lakshmi Narayana, Shri Ramas sthaana, Tulasidasa nivasa, Kaikeyi and Bharata Mandirs, Charana Paduka Mandir. There are three most hallowed 'Charana Chinha' or foot prints of Lord Shri Rama viz. Charana Paduka or His footwear prints, Janaki kunda and 'Sphatika shaala'. The specific Spot where Bharata met Rama for the first time and the molten stone of Rama's footprint is visible still. Among other hallowed Places nearby Charana Paduka are Lakshman Hill and Lakshman Mandir, Janaki Kund, Anasuya-Atri Ashram, Gupta Godavari and so on. Nearby Chitra kut are Ganesha Kund, Valmiki Ashram, Viradha Kunda, Sharabhanga Ashram, Sutikshan Ashram and Rama Vana.

Sarga Fifty Six: Ramas reach Chitrakoota-Maharshi Valmiki at ashram- latter teaches Lakshnana to build 'Rama Kuteera'-Vishleshana on Vaastu Shastra: Matsya Purana

[Vishleshana on Vaastu Shastra from Matsya Purana:

Eighteen Rishis gave the Rules and Regulations of Vaastu Shastra to the posterity and these Rishis were: Bhrigu, Arti, Vasishtha, Vishwakarma, Maya, Nagnajit, Bhagavan Shankara, Indra, Kumara, Nandeswara, Shounaka, Garga, Vasudeva, Aniruddha, Shukra and Brihaspati. As regards, the knowledge of *Griha Nirmaana*, the results of initiating construction activity in various *MONTHS* are as follows: in Chaitra Month 'Vyadhi'or diseases are caused; in Vaisakha the Constructors gain cows and Ratnas; in

Jeyshtha Month, death is indicated in the family; in Ashadha month construction helps gain of servants, Ratnas and 'Pashus' or domestic animals; in Shraavana Month there would be gain of servants; dangers and risks in Bhadrapada Month; construction in Aswin Month might lead to risk to wife; in Kartik Month there would be gain of Dhana- Dhanya or Money and Crops; in Margasirsha month there would be surplus of Bhojyas or Food Items; commencement of construction in the month of Pausha might lead to thefts and loss of materials; Construction in Magha Month there would be benefits but some fear or possibility of Fire and finally, activities of construction during Phalguna Month should yield gold, progeny and prosperity.

Initiating the Construction of Grihas / houses is considered the best in respect of the following NAKSHATRAS OR STARS: Ashvini, Rohini, Mula, the three Uttaraas, Mrigashira, Swati, Hasta, and Anuradha. As regards the DAYS, all the days of a week are good, except Sundays and Tuesdays. In regard to YOGAS, construction should not start on the following yogas viz. Vyaaghat, Shula, Vyatipaat, Atiganda, Vishkambha, Ganda, Parigha and Vajra. Following MUHURTAS are stated to be ideal for contstruction viz. Sweta, Maitra, Maahendra, Gaandhawa, Abhijit, Rouhini, Vairaja, and Savitri. To decide on the SHUBHA LAGNA, the activity of construction should be commenced when the Chandra bala as also Suryabala would be equally positive. The most important activities apart, 'Stambharohana'or the hoisting of the Pillar should be taken up first; similarly the procedures should be the same as in respect of the costruction of Praasaads, wells and such mini water bodies. SOIL TEST would be the foremost activity before the actual construction is taken up. Sweta (White), Lal (Red), Peeta (yellowish) and kaala (black) may be the ideal soils for the Four 'Varnas' of Brahmana, Kshatriya, Vaisya and Shudra respectively. Taste-wise, the soil may be sweetish for Brahmanas, sour for Kshatriyas, 'tiktha' or bitter for Vaishyas and 'Kasaili'/ Kashaya / Pungent for Shudras. As a part of the soil quality test, saplings are to be planted and the best soil quality would yield the growth over three nights; medium growth over five nights and minimal growth over a week. The best soil obviously would give out the quickest yield.

By way of a diagram, the area meant for construction is drawn as a big square which is divided into nine squares while each square is further sub-divided into nine smaller squares, thus making a total of eighty one squares. Of these, thirty two Devatas are worshipped in as many sub-squares and thirteen Devatas from outside those sub squares, thus accounting for forty five squares. The names and the positioning of the respective Deities are: Shikhi, Parjanya, Jayant, Indra, Surya, Satya, Brusha, Antakisha, Vayu, Pusha, Vitatha, Brihatsakshatha, Yama, Gandharva, Bhring raaja, Mriga, Pitrugana, Daivarika, Sugreeva, Pushpadanta, Jalaadhusha, Asura, Sesha, Paapa, Roga, Ahi, Mukhya, Bhallata, Soma, Sarpa, Aditi and Diti; these thirty two Deities are Baahya Devatas. These Deities are to be worshipped in the four Dikkonas like Ishaana. Now, outside the Vaastu Chakra the following four Deities are to be worshipped viz. Aapa, Savitra, Jaya, and Rudra. In the middle nine squares, on the four sides of Brahma, eight Sadyha Devatas are to be positioned and these are Aryama, Savita, Viviswaan, Vibhudha -adhipa, Mitra, Raajayakshma, Prithvidhara, and Apavatsa. Apa, Apavatsa, Parjanya, Agni and Diti-these are of five Devataa varga to be worshipped in Agneya-kona. Further, twenty Devataas are positioned in two rows: Aryama, Viwaswaan, Mitra and Pritvidhara-these four are stationed on three sides of Brahma in three, three positions each. This is the Procedure of worship to all the relevant Deities.

The methodology of construction varies from one building to another such as Chatuhshaala, Trishaala; Dwishala etc. The Chatuh shaala is open from all four sides with gates /doors on all the sides, known as *Sarvatomukha* and is normally ideal for a Palace or a Temple. A building which has no door to the west is called *Nandyavarta*; without a door on the Southern side is called *Vardhamaana*; without a door on the Eastern side is called *Swastika*; and without an opening on the Northern side is *Ruchaka*. A King's Palace is ideally measured the hundred and eight hand-lengths, while that of a Prince has sixty six measures; a General's abode with sixty four measures; forty eight measures to forty eight measures; and thirty two for an ordinary citizen. As regards the 'Stambhas' (Pillar) in an ordinary house, its circumference is

multiplied by nine times and the result must be the depth of the pillar underground; a four angled pillar is called 'Ruchak'; eight angled pillar is 'Vajra'; sixteen angled pillar is 'Dwi Vajra', thirty two angled pillar is 'Praleenak' and a pillar whose mid-region is round is called 'Vritra'. All the residential homes should be entered from the right side 'Pravesha Dwar'. Entry from the eastern side where Indra and Jayanta exist is the best; in the southern side 'dwara', it is said that Yamya and Vitatha are supposed to be ruling and is good too; on the western dwara, Varuna and Pushpadanta are prominent; Uttara dwar is governed by Bhallat and Sowmya and is quite propitious. But one should be careful of 'vedhas' or forced entries: for instance, such vedhas through side-lanes might result in 'Kulakshaya' or damage to the Vamsha; forced entry through trees might end up in mutual hatred of family members; vedha through mud would bring in sorrows; vedha through water ways would result in problems; vedha through pillars might end up through difficulties arising due to women. Entering from one house to another could end up in grief to the master of the house. A house which opens on its own might result in madness of a family member. Similarly, a house which gets closed on its own could end up in 'Kula naasha'/ distress to the Kula. Entry through a very high door could lead to 'Raja bhaya' or difficulties on account of Authorities. If the door is too low, there could by 'Chora bhava' or fear of thefts. A door just above another door could attract Yamaraja darshan. If a house with a main door of disproportionate size is built in the middle of a big road is made, the master of the house would not live for long. If the main door is smaller than the other doors of a house, that house might not have contentment and would be a constant abode of recurring predicaments. The rear portion of the house must be kept duly adorned with trees, foliage, pots and decoratives. The east of the house there should be 'Vata' vriksha; in the Southern side Udumbara tree and the western side Pippala Tree and Pluksha tree on the northern side. Nearby the house, trees with thorns and Ksheera Vrikshas or milk-yielding trees are not good. It would be propitious to grow trees like Pumnaga, Ashoka, Shami, Tilaka, Champa, Dadimi, Peepali, Draksha, Arjuna, Jambeera, Puga, Panasa, Ketaki, Malati, Kamala Chameli, Mallika, Coconut, Kela, Kadali and Patala as these Trees are signs of Lakshmi / prosperity. Houses are better not built in the extreme vicinity of temples, Dhurtas or mischievous elements, General Adinistration, Four-LaneCenters, since there might be causes for irritation, fear and problems. Leaving ample space before, rear and sides of the building is a must. It would be advisable to have the southern part of the house elevated and such an abode is called a 'Sampurna' or complete from the Vaastu point of view and would thus bestow the best of advantages. To lay the 'Adhara Shila' (Foundation Stone) of a building, the Priest should determine the 'Muhurat', decorate the Stone with white cloth, lay 'Nava Ratnas' and Gold along with Nava Dhanyas or nine varieties of appropriate seeds and with the help of masons fix up the stone, and perform 'puja'to Ganapati, Vaastu Deva, Ishta Devata or the Family Deity with formal 'Mantrocchaarana', also perform 'Havan'/ homa to Agni Deva with milk, ghee and honey: The relevant Havan Mantra is: Vaastoshpatey Pratijaanee –hyasmaantswaavesho anameevo bhavaa nah, yat tvemahey prati tanno jupuswa sham no bhava dwipatdey sham chatushpadey/

VAASTU YAGNA comprises: Sutrapath, Stambhaaropana or hoisting of the main Pillar, Dwara vamshocchraya, Griha Pravesha and Vaastu Shanti. Sutrapath takes place in the Ishana Disha and Stambhaaropana in Agneya kona. Vaastu Deva's 'Pada Chinhas' or foot prints should be set up and the 'Karta'should do 'pradakshinas' (circumambulation) around the foot-prints. It is stated that water with the powder of Munga, Ratna and Suvarna should be sprinkled while designing the 'Pada-Chihnaas'. Incidentally, the signs of Vaastu should never be ash, lit up firesticks, nails, skins, horns, bones, and skull as some ill-informed persons tend to do so and such material would lead to distress, danger and difficulties. It is advisable that masons and other workers are present at the time of Griha Pravesh. Ishaaney Devataagaaram tathaa Shaanti gruham bhavet, Mahaanasam thathaagneye tatpaarswam chottarey jalam, Gruhasyopakaram sarvam Nairutye Sthaapaded Buddhah/Bandhasthaanam bahih kuryaat snaana mandapameyvacha, Dhana Dhaanyam cha Vaayavye karmashaalaam tato bahih, Evam Vaastu viseshah syaad Ghruha bhatruh shubaavaham/ (To the Ishaana side of any house, the Devataagruha and Shantigriha must be set up; its kitchen must be in the Agneya kona; to the northern side the 'Jala sthaan' (Water reservoir); all the house materials be kept in the Nairuti

kona; the place for keeping domestic animals like cows and buffalos as well as bathing rooms are better constructed outside the house; the storage place for Dhana-dhanya should be kept in the Vayavya kona; the 'Karya shala' or the Offices should be organised outside the residential place. This pattern of living would certainly assure excellent propitiousness and happiness to the entire family. At the 'Griha Pravesh' function (House Warming Time) approaches, Peace and Prosperity is ushered in as stated: *Krutwaagrato Dwijavaraanatha Purnakumbham Dhadyakshataamala pushpa phalopa shobham/ Datwaa hiranyavasanaani tadaa Dwijebhyo, Maangalya Shaanti nilayaya gruham vishekthu/ Gruhoktahoma vidhaanaa Bali karma kuryat, Praasaada Vaastu shamaney cha vidharya uktah, Santarpayed vijavaraanatha bhakshya bhojjyeh, Shuklaambarah Swabhavanam pravishet sa dhupam/*

(As the house is fully ready, the Head of the family should initiate the action of conducting 'Mangala Shanti' with a group of Brahmanas ahead along with a 'Kalasha'/Vessel, full of Sweet Water, Curd, Akshatas, tender mango leaves, flowers, fruits and coconuts as also scented sandal water, agarbattis/ incense sticks and oil-wick lamps nicely lit and decorated, as Brahmanas recite Veda hymns and musical instruments are played, while entering the house at the appointed 'Muhurta'. There after Griha praasaadas/ doors and other household items are purified for Vaastu Shaanti and Homa and Balidaana are performed. Brahmanas are treated with Bhojan and gifts of gold, vastras and dakshinas, where after relatives and friends are treated too with bhojan and gifts.)

Sarga Sixty Four: Having revealed details of the Muni hatya, the helpless cryings of his blind parents, Vriddha Muni's curse that Dasaradha would die in son's absence, Dasharatha collapsed to death! [Vishlesanas: i) on the process of death- ii) departed jeevatma-iii: Yama- iv: Mrityu Sukta [Vishlesanas: i) on the process of death- ii) departed jeevatma-iii: Yama- iv: Mrityu Sukta

Prashnopanishad vide III.6-7 explains the **process of death**: Hridi hyesha Atmaa, atraitad ekashatam naadeenaam taasaam shatam shatam ekaikaashyam dyaa saptatir dyaasaptatih pratishakhaa naadee sahasraani bhavanti, aasu vyaanascharati// Athaika -yordhva udaanah, punyena punyalokam nayati, paapena paapam, ubdhaabhyaam eva manushya lokam//(The heart in the subtle Self is connected to some hundred and one nerves of importance each one of these is described as with hundred divisions and each of such divisions is stated to be of 72000 sub- branches or arteries, among which permeates 'Vyana' of the Pancha Pranaas, activising the various directions of the heart spreading all over the joints, shoulders and vital parts. It is this Vyana of the Pancha Pranaas that demands of the body parts of deeds that require strength to perform. Chhandogya Upanishad vide VIII.vi.6 explains: Shatam chaikaa cha hridayasya naadyah taasaam murdhaanaam abhinih abhinishtraika tayordhyam ayann amritatyam eti vishvayam anya utkramane bhavanti/ In the context of the process of death, the status of the physical nerves and how Sun influences these is described: the veins of the body issuing out of the fleshy bulge called lotus shaped heart is charged with juices of varied colours akin to human desires. The heat of the Sun causes bile which when comes into contact with phlegm in the nerves assuming different colours as accentuated by wind contacts. As life departs, the Self goes upwards through the Sun rays and the praani reaches the Sun within the time that mind travels. The nerves connected to the heart are hundred and one. At the time of departure, one of the nerves-Brahma Nadi- of the blessed ones reaches the crown of the head. While the opening of that nerve enables Immortality, vyana through other exit points totalling nine indicates definite return to the cycle of rebirths. Now the reference to Udaana; this vital force moves everywhere in the body from top to toe. When it takes an upward trend it leads to Deva Lokas and as it takes a downward trend it leads to 'manushya loka if it is 'ubdhaabhyameva'; or as a result of paapa-punyaas or sins and virtues)III.8-9) Adityo ha vai baahya praana udayati, esha hyenam chaakshusham praanam anugrahnaanah prithivyaam ya Devataa saishaa purushasyaapaanam avashtabhyaantaraah yad

aakaakaashas sa samaano yaayur yyaanah// Tejo ha yai udaanah tasmaad upashaanta tejaah punarbhavam indriyair manasi sampadyamaanaih//(Surya indeed is the external praana which ascends in favour of Praana that is present in the eye. The Deity of Earth favours attracting the 'apaana' in a human being. The Antariksha as signified by Vayu Deva is 'Samaana' and Vyana is Air in the common parlance. The interpretation is that while Surya-Bhumi-Antariksha are stated as of the divine context, Praana-Apaana-Samaana are stated as eyes, exiting wind of human beings and common Air respectively. As regards Udaana, Tejas and common light are the divine and human forms respectively. As explained above, Udaana is the cause of death too, besides all the deeds requiring force in the normal course of life.)III.10-12) Yatchistastenaisha praanam aayaati, praanaastejasaa yuktah sahaatmaanaa yathaa samkalpitam lokam nayati// Ya evam vidvaan praanamveda na haasya prajaa heeyate, amrito bhavati, tadesha shlokah: // Utpattim aayatim shtaanam vibhutvam chaiva panchadhaa,adhyaatmam chaiva praanasya vijnaayaamritam ashnute, vijnaayaamritam ashnute, iti//(Whatever frame of mind and thoughts occur to a human being at the time of the end of life, indeed those very thoughts and feelings along with the functioning of the organs similarly attuned do surface then. Then the prime Praana of the dving person along with Udaana, the Consciousness tapers off and 'praana yuktah tejasaa nayati lokam yathaasankalpitam' or the Life Force along with the light within leads to the lokas as felt and deserved! Any person of knowledge who understands of what praana as all about certainly knows that the Departed Soul or the Antaratma then merges in its own origin. In this context, there is a relevant verse: A person of knowledge of Praana would thus be sensitised with its origin, entry, place of residence and the process of exit by achieving its next destination as per one's own actions of a mix of virtues and vices; very few attain Immortality and the majority return back to Life again; this is the Truth of Life and that indeed again is the Truth of Life!)]

The departed 'jeevatma' discarding life behind is accompanied by Lord Yama: Pareyivaasam pravato maheeranu, bahubhyah panthaam anupaspashaanam, Vaivasvatam sangamanam janaanaam, Yamam Rajanam havishaa duvasya/ May King Yama the son of Surya Deva/ Vivasvaan, be worshipped as he is followed by His relatives and admirers of the departed; Yama has travelled far from the heights beyond and taken to the perfect destination without disturbing any one else. The Stanza is from Rig Veda 10-14.1. ii-iv)

The departed jeeva: *Idam tyaa vastram prathama nyaagan/ Apaitaduuha yadihaabibhah puraa*, ishtaapurtamanusampashya dakshinaam yathaa te dattam bahudhaa vi bandhushu/ Imoau yunajmi te vahnee asuneeyaaya odhave, yaabhyaam Yamasya saadanam, sukrutaam chaapi gacchataat/ May the departed one arrive here with new ideas and forget the erstwhile impulses and memories, recalling however the erstwhile actions some of which might have satisfied the conscience such as the acts of dakshinas to brahmanas vis a vis the wealth given by the kinsmen. May the departed one be yoked by two oxen to carry the body dear so far as the life and these oxen reach the abode of Lord Yama or alternatively to other abodes in case that It had done 'satkarmas' earning virtue outweighing the deeds of vice.v-viii) Pushaa tvetah chyaavayantu pra vidvaan, anashthapashuh bhuvanasya gopaah, sa tvaitebhyah pari dadat pitrubhyo, agnirdevebhyah suvidanniyebhyah/ Pushemaa aashaa anu veda sarvaah, so asmam abhiyatamena neshat, svastidaa aaghrunih sarvaveero, aprayucchan pura etu prajaanan/Aayuh vishvaayuh pari pasati tvaa pusha, tvaa paatu prapathe purastaat, yatraaste sukruto, yatra te yayuh, tatratvaa devah Savitaa dadhaatu/ Bhuvanasya pat idam havih, agnaye rayimate svaaha/ May Pushan the omniscient escort the depated Soul to another world as His rays never fail to proceed all the Beings and reach them to Pitru Loka and may Agni Deva reach the concerned Devas further on. Indeed Pushan is totally conversant with all the Lokas successively as He is aware the ways and means of leading the jeevaatma to safety free from perils. The post life of departed mortals is well realised by Pushan and hence lead them upto the halts en route. As the Souls which may have done well with the earnings of 'punya', the celestial Savitur would place them well in advance and accordingly lead these with care. Hence, Paramatma! may this offering of the body remains engulf by Agni Deva ultimately! The stanzas v-vii are repeats of Rigveda Mantras of 10.17.3-5-4 respectively.]

iv: Mrityu Sukta: Taittireeya Aranyaka 3.15.1-6 :Mrityu Sukta

Hariam harantamanuyanti Devaah, Vishvasyeshaanaam vrishabham mateenaam, Brahma swarupamanu medamaagaat, ayanam maa vividheervikramasva/ Ma cchido mrityo maa vadheeh maa me balam vivruho maa pramosheeh, prajaam maa me reerisha aayurugna, nrichakshasam tvaa havishaa vidhema/ Sadyas - chkamaanaaya pravepaanaaya mrityave paarasmaa aashaa ashrunvan, kaamenaajanayanpunah/ Kaamena me kaama aagaat, hridayaadhbhudayam mrityoh, yadameeshaamadah priyam tadaituup maamabhi/ Pare mrityo anuparehi panthaam, yaste sva itaro Devayaanaat, chakshushmate shrunvate te braveemi, maa nah prajaam reerusho mot veeraan/ Pra poorve manasaa vandamaanah naadhamano vrishabham charshaneenaam, yah prajaanaam eka karanamaanusheenaam mrityum yaje prathamaja - amritasva/ These verses are stated to be recited in the rites of cremation.

Samasta Devas are stated to accompany the Mrityu Devata-harim harantam; the latter is the Lord of all the worlds and thoughts of the departed. As Mrityu Devata approaches the yajamaana or the victim, the latter assumes an appropriate form. May the Devata be contented with the stanzas recited and destroy the obstacles faced in the journey post life. Mrityu! At the time of departure of the victim, do kindly spare him from severing his body parts causing pain and tolerant energy. Kindly also do not harm my progeny, much less the victim's life span as we are prepared to serve you with suitable offerings. Mrityu Deva! Your are source and form of terror and panic to all the Beings with 'Praana'; all the 'ashta dishas' receive the 'aartha naadaas' or the signals of frieghtening cries. May the children of the departed one be equipped to face moment of departure and spared from the distress that pursues. May the heart of Mrityu be kind and beneficial to the victim and family members. Mrityu Deva! may all paths except Devayana be blocked as that is the only path that the victim desires and surely deserves! May Mrityu be endowed with kind thoughts and actions as the victim seeks mercy and forgiveness after the departure to realise the Truth of Life!

Sarga Sixty Six

[Vishleshana on widowhood:

Departed person's widow: Iyam naareem patilokam vrinaanaa ni padyat upa tvaa, martya pretam,dharma puraanaanupaalayantee, tasyai prajaam dravinam cheha dhehi/ Udeerdhva naaryabhi jeevalokam gataasum etamupa shesha ehi, hastaagraabhasya deedhishoh, tavedam patyurjanitvamabhi sam babhutha/ Suvarnaam hastaadadaanaa mritasya, shriyai brahmane tejase balaaya, atraiva tvam, ihavayam sushevaa, vishvaah sprudho abhimaateerjeyam/ Dhanurhastaat aadadaano mritasya, shriyai kshatraayoujase balaaya, atraiva tvam iha vayam sushevaa, vishvaay sprudho abhimaateerjayem/ Maniam hastadaadaanaa mritasya, shriyai visho pushthyai balaaya, atraiva tvam, ida vayam sushevaa, vishvaah sprudho abhimaaraarjeeyem/ The widow of the departed husband who chose her husband and lived along with him has to continue her duty as a widow now and assign the properties of the husband to the progeny. Atharva Veda 18.3.1. The widow is then advised to get back normalcy as she would be under a shock and realise the reality that her hasband was no more; indeed the person who took your hand on wedlock had left her now. After all, she would have to continue to remain in existence and recover her normalvy since she should fight back the evils of the world and fortify herself. One has to reconcile to the

absence of the husband and realise that he was not there. Yet, she would have to take a vow that he was there and get readied for a lonely fight. The stanza 6.1.15 viz. Dhanurhastaat explains that since the upbringing of the progeny has to be the wife's prime need of the hour, the widow should take over the bow from the hands of the departed husband's hands and be prepared for a battle to procect the children and stay there itself and face the situations. Thus she takes the challenge of life ahead. Vyasa Maharshi explains of some features of widows: Patyaomritepi yo yoshivaidhavyam paalayet kvachit, Saapunah praapya bhartaaram svarga bhogaan sameeshnute/ Vidhavaa kabari baddhah bhartru bandhaaya chaayate, Shirasovasanam tasmaat kaaryam vidhavaatathaa, Ekaahaarah Sadaa kaaryah nadviteeyah kadaachana/ Gandhadra –vyasya sambhogonaiya kaaryastathaa kyachit, Tarpanam pratyaham kaaryam bhartuh kushatilodakaih/ Vishnostu pujanam kaaryam patibudhaana chaanyadhaa, Patimeva sadaa dhyaayedvishnu rupa dharam param, Evam dharma paraanityam vidhavaap shubhaamataa/(As a husband passes away and the widow observes the regulations of widowhood, since a widow is distinguished as being one, it is preferred that her head hair is removed forever, takes a single meal a day and refrain from a second meal that day! She should not use fragrances and not utilise flowers; every day she should perform tarpana with 'tilodakas' or black Tilas with water using 'darbhas'. Those women who are widowed should consider as the diseased husband as Vishnu himself and then her remaining life would be spent peacefully without problems and even though as of a woman of auspiciousness.]

Sarga Sixty Seven: Maharshis assemble with Purohita Vasishtha to decide on the successor King - [Vishleshana on an Ideal Kingship vide Manu Smriti-Achaara Khanda] [Vishleshana on an Ideal Kingship vide Manu Smriti-Achaara Khanda

Ideal Kingship: Manu Deva then describes the ways of conduct and dharmas of a King about his origin and keys to his success as a popular and famed head of a nation. On attaining kingship to a deserving and select kshatriya origin, the King is coronated by the prescribed Vedic Principles to assume the duties expected as from a Head of the Kindom. This is so when a Leader of the Society has to establish an authoratative Institution based essentially on Dharma and Nyaya and above all to ensure safety and security as an Integrated Identity among the comity of co-kingdoms. Hence the group of Devas like Indra, Surya, Vaayu, Yama, Agni, Varuna, Chandra and Kubera confer Kingship to the most suitable Kshatriya as per Vedic Verses hence as the unique representative of the lusters and magnificenes of the combinations of the repesentative Devas; indeed like a Sun God the King becomes too radiant to gaze and provides the great source of authority and power sourced from the respective Devas of warmth yet heat of Agni, sweep and speed of Vaayu, placidity and coolness of Chandra, sterness and demand of justice/ virtue of Yama, ample food and sustenance of Varuna, and the auspiciousness and prosperity of Kubera! Even a King as an infant is worthy of respect and awe as there is a worthy King in him and ought to be so venerated. Indeed, careless approach and casual treatment paid to an infant king, who is no doubt, backed up the strong foundations of Kingship as from Vedic Principles, as Agni could provide warmth as also burn the whole family and property as of 'lock-stock- and barrel'! A King with his 'kaarya siddhi' or the success of his purpose as per the prevalent circumstances of 'Desha Kaala Tatwa' seeks to attain 'dharma siddhi' as he asumes varied features of kshama, krodha, mitrata, or even pratikaara or revenge! A King indeed is 'sarva tejomaya' or all powerful as he could usher in Devi Lakshmi or alround prosperity, or his anger might invite mrityu or death. If a King is annoyed even by default, the victim's misfortune kicks off and his indignation is certain to mritu! Tasmaad dharmam yamishteshu sa vyavasyennaraadhipah, anishtam chaapyanishteshu tam dharmam na vichaalayet/ Tasyaarthe sarvabhutaanaam goptaaram dharmama -atmajam, brahmatejomayam dandam- asrijat purvameeshvarah/ or that is why the dharmas originally created by the institution of Kingship are such as never to be infringed upon and hence the age old principles are such as shaped by the conscience of any King either of mercy or of punishments. This why any of the 'sthaayara-jangamaas' or of moving-immoveable nature in Srishti are driven by the

impulses of their own consciences too and the interpretations of respective Kingships as per 'desha kaala- paristhitis' or of contemporary situations need necessarily to be upheld and observed. Hence punishments truly represent the King, his Purushtva of assertion and of unquestionable Leadership; punishment only governs, protects, and sustains vigilance even in sleep or casualness as the constant guard and caution. Sameekshya sa dhritah samyak sarvaa ranjayati prajaah, asameekshya praneetastu vinaashayati sarvatah/ Once punishment is made applicable and enforced, it uproots the evil but once gets lax then attracts further evil. In the case of a King's negligence of punishment, the defaulted person once saved perpetuates the evil as a fried fish about to be pitch-forked spared or soft cotton piece turns into an iron rod! In case a King spares a criminal from punishment, a crow would steal a pitru pinda or a dog sniff or lick a sacrificial food just as a person of illfame forcefully occupies another's lawful house in possession since dandasya hi bhayaat sarvam jagad bhogaaya kalpate/ or the entire world loses the grip of fear and becomes all kinds of illegal perversions. Once a rod is spared then even a child is spoilt; Deva, Daanava, Gandharva, Raakshasa, Pakshi, Sarpas too once spared would be victimised with evil; being devoid of 'daanda', the conduct of all the beings in Srishti gets sullied and in respect of human beings varnaashrama dharmas are severely broken irretrievably paving way for vices and engendering evil forces Yatra shyaamo lohitaaksho dandashcharati paapahaa, prajaastatra na muhyanti netaa chet saadhu pashyati/ Tasyaahuh sampranetaaram raajaanam satyavaadinam, sameekshya kaarinam praajnam dharma kaamaartha kovidam/ That exactly why the concept of Kingship or Leadership is stated as the hinge and hold of the sensitive balance of virtue and vice; where punishment is due it ought to stalk around assuming black color and of red eyes demolish blemishes and sins. Moreso it is in the context of fulfilling the four human aspirations of Dharma-Artha-Kaama-Moksha in a measured manner; indeed hence is the presence of Leadership as assumed by a King. Kingship is defined as who is aware and conscious of the are of punishing and sparing the stick; tam raajaa pranayansamyak trivargena abhivardhate or He is the ideal King who is truthfully wedded to the principles of virue and nyaaya, modest and ideal earnings for the Self and dependents besides spare for charity, and controlled and regulated by moderate and just desires; but certainly not to fullfill sensual pleasures, deceitful ways of flippant lives and of selfish motivations. When punishment is prescribed it may not be palatable to unrelenting minds, but when the king concerned does not proclaim it in a non commensurate manner without adequately examining or hiding facts of the case, then the King if partial in judgment is not spared too and might affect his family even. Once the King and his family s ruined, then the store of 'adharmaas' so collected might affect not only his possessions of castles, his territories and his 'praja' and their forunes also. Contrarily a champion of Dharma and Nyaya would carve a niche not merely among the co-kings but as in respect of Maharshis and even Devas might secure a qualification for Brahmatva! A continous series of undue punishments out of hiding facts or ignoring them and issued by an unjust King would have repurcussions on the disgrace and ruin of his deputies down the line in thed Vamsha and might adversely affect those concerned like Ministers, Army Commanders and so on as involved in the declarations of judgments. Further on, even the Sages would feel the guilt and the though processes of Devas receiving 'havyas' at the Agni Karyas in the Kingdom might be disturbed! Hence: Shuchinaa satyasandhena yathaa shaastaanusaarinaa, pranetum shakyate dandah susahaayena dheemataa/ Svaraashtre nyaaya vrittah syaad bhrishadashcha shatrushu, suhritsvajihmah snigdheshu braahmaneshu kshamaanvitah/ The ideal most King is such sagacious, truthful and inteligent kind of unique followers of Dharma and Nyaya, ably assisted by equally professional deputies, and indeed his judgments for or against punishments or rewards are stated to be one among the countless ones of his worthy race. The fame of such rarity are like drops of oil spreading fast in running flows of water. However the ill fame of a King unworthy of his title and seat tends to act like buter on the water flows steadily till the day of doom. The idealism of Kingship upholds the dignities of the Chatur Varnas and ensures their continuity... Such Kings of rarity are stated to possess their daily routine as follows: in the early mornings itself, they attend the congregations of the learned and the aged vidwans of Rig-Yajur-SaamaVedas and discuss the specifics of Dharmas and of Administrative Principles involved. They worship and honour such vidwans appropriately and abide by their teachings as discussed. Such exemplary Kings are never harmed but enjoy longevity and prosperity. They are modest and that modesty makes them imperishable. For want of

modesty, several Kings in history had perished along with their belongings and on the other hand hermits in forests had turned to be Kings. Veno vinashtovinayaatnahushashchaiva paarthivah/Sudaah paija vanashchaiva sumukho nimireva cha/ Prithustu vinayaad raajyam praaptavaan manureva cha, Kuberashcha dhanaishvaryam brahmannyam chaiva Gaadhijah/ In the historical introspective, illustrious Chakravartis or Emperors like Vena, Nahusha, Sudaasa, Yavana, Sumukha, and Nimi perished out of their questionable and evil conduct. On the other hand Prithu and Manu flourished as Chakravatis out their outstanding modesty and impecable character and Kubera gained the position of Dhanaadyaksha and one of the Ashtapalakas of the Universe. Vishwamitra the illusrious son of Gaadhi a Kshatriya by birth attained the status of an elevated Brahmana by the dint of perseverance, tapsya and conduct .The King should perfectly understand the aspirations of the common persons of the day especially in avioding the pitfalls of co-Kings and most unhesitatingly try to initiate steps in constructing such a Capital City and never even seek to his own personal comfort but ensure his deputies and staff as well as the public of the Kingdom to live with comfort and safety. Towards this end, he needs to construct a fortress protected by vagaries of seasons and possible eventualities of diseases or natural disasters. Such a fortress of distinction and status be suitably equipped with defence forces to ensure safety from attacks of beasts. robbers, internal forces of revolution, external foes and such elements and forified with weapons, grains, cattle and fodder, ample water and tools, as also Vidwans, artisans, and representatives of chatur varnas, and above all Purohitaas or Priests and Ritvigs to duly perform various smarta karmas of auspicious nature besides the shrouta karmas of daily agni karyas and Sacrifices. Yajeta raajaa kratubhirvi vidhairaapta dakshinaih, dharmaartham chaiva viprebhyo dadyaad bhogaan dhanaani cha/ Saanvatsarikamaaptaishcha raashtraadaahaarayed balim, syaachchaamnaayaparo loke varteta pitrivatnrishu/ The King has to be such as always engaged in Ashwamedhaadi yajnas attracting learned Brahmans to receive gifts and charities of golden ornaments, precious clothes and so on besides providing employment to workers as also the participating crowds of public with feasts. Indeed the King is stated more than a father and protector of the interests of one and all. As the citizens of the Kingdom are responsive of the noble activities of the King and the band of his officials of commitment ensuring peace and safety, the taxes are paid on time and general business climate is salutary and hence the economy is sound and attracts investments from the public and from foreign kingdoms too. Besides plugging in loopholes of business transactions, the King too motivate the officials down the line with incentives, moral persuasion and punishments against inefficiency or corruption. As BrahmanaVidyathis emerge out of Guru Kula after Vedaadhyayana are suitably gifted and trained for more and more tough assignments to preserve and promote dharmaacharana since *nidhir braahmanobhi dheeyate* or indeed Brahmanas are the treasures installed by the Kings that could neither be lost nor robbed; such treasures could also not be split, nor perish as they are ever-sustained by the purity and blaze of Agni itself. Samamabraahmane daanam dvigunam braahmanabruve, praadheete shatasaahasramanantam veda -paarage/ Paatrasya hi visheshena shraddadhaanatayaiva cha, alpam vaa bahu vaa pretya daanasya phalamashnute/ While charity is offered to any of Varnas then there would be good returns of 'sukrita phala', but once that daana is given to a Brahmana the returns get doubled; once that daanas are executed to a well read and knowledgeble Brahmana, the fruits get further intensified hundred thousand fold, while the recipient is a Veda Vedanga paaranga, then he demands 'anantha phala'! Even if a 'daana'were given as per one's own ability, then undoubtedly a deserving status is accomplished in the higher worlds.

Sarga Seventy Six: Raja Dasharatha's 'antyeshthi' / 'dahana samskaara'

[Vishleshanas fromTaittireeya Aranyaka: The departed 'jeevatma' discarding life behind is accompanied by Lord Yama- departed Soul-Pushan- Sayavari / cow- widow-and Agni]
[Vishleshanas fromTaittireeya Aranyaka: The departed 'jeevatma' discarding life behind is accompanied by Lord Yama- departed Soul-Pushan- Sayavari / cow- widow-and Agni
i) Yama: Pareyivaasam pravato maheeranu, bahubhyah panthaam anupaspashaanam, Vaivasvatam sangamanam janaanaam, Yamam Rajanam havishaa duvasya/ May King Yama the son of Surya Deva/

Vivasvaan, be worshipped as he is followed by His relatives and admirers of the departed; Yama has travelled far from the heights beyond and taken to the perfect destination without disturbing any one else. The Stanza is from Rig Veda 10-14.1.)

The departed jeeva: Idam tvaa vastram prathama nvaagan/Apaitaduuha vadihaabibhah puraa, ishtaapurtamanusampashya dakshinaam yathaa te dattam bahudhaa vi bandhushu/ Imoau yunajmi te vahnee asuneeyaaya odhave, yaabhyaam Yamasya saadanam, sukrutaam chaapi gacchataat/ May the departed one arrive here with new ideas and forget the erstwhile impulses and memories, recalling however the erstwhile actions some of which might have satisfied the conscience such as the acts of dakshinas to brahmanas vis a vis the wealth given by the kinsmen. May the departed one be voked by two oxen to carry the body dear so far as the life and these oxen reach the abode of Lord Yama or alternatively to other abodes in case that It had done 'satkarmas' earning virtue outweighing the deeds of vice. Pushaa tvetah chyaavayantu pra vidvaan, anashthapashuh bhuvanasya gopaah, sa tvaitebhyah pari dadat pitrubhyo, agnirdevebhyah suvidanniyebhyah/ Pushemaa aashaa anu veda sarvaah, so asmam abhiyatamena neshat, svastidaa aaghrunih sarvaveero, aprayucchan pura etu prajaanan/ Aayuh vishvaayuh pari pasati tvaa pusha, tvaa paatu prapathe purastaat, yatraaste sukruto, yatra te yayuh, tatratvaa devah Savitaa dadhaatu/ Bhuvanasya pat idam havih, agnaye rayimate svaaha/ May Pushan the omniscient escort the depated Soul to another world as His rays never fail to procect all the Beings and reach them to Pitru Loka and may Agni Deva reach the concerned Devas further on. Indeed Pushan is totally conversant with all the Lokas successively as He is aware the ways and means of leading the jeevaatma to safety free from perils. The post life of departed mortals is well realised by Pushan and hence lead them upto the halts en route. As the Souls which may have done well with the earnings of 'punya', the celestial Savitur would place them well in advance and accordingly lead these with care. Hence, Paramatma! may this offering of the body remains engulf by Agni Deva ultimately! The stanzas v-vii are repeats of Rigveda Mantras of 10.17.3-5-4 respectively.

Sayaavari / Cow to cleanse the sins of the departed: Purushasya sayaavarayapedaanim mujahhe, yadhaam no atra naaparah puraa jarasa aayaati/ Purushasya sayaavari vi te simnaam praanaam, shareerena maheemahim, svadahyehi pitrunup, prajayaasmaanihavaha/ Maivam maamstaa priyeham Devee satee pitrulokam yadaishi, Vishvavaaraa nabhasaa samvayantgee, tasyah porajaam dravinam cheha dhehi/ Sayayari is the cow which was stated dear to the departed person brought to the place of cremation as the symbol of all Devas. Thus, the Sayavari the symbol of Devas! Kindly remove the sins of the departed. As the departed one has loosened all his / her energies, may the Savavari enter the planes of the firmament and lead the way to Pitru Loka. May you also provide your milk to the departed one en route and at the destination as you have access to all the lokas.(Garuda Purana vide Chapter 30: 41-42 and 52-53 are quoted: 'Tarkshya Deva! Any Being on Earth or Pancha Bhutas or the entirety of Creation is Vishnu. Hence whosoever performs a' karma' or action, the fruit of that action is Vishnu too; thus a person when performs an act, good or otherwise, Vishnu decides the fruit of that action. At the end of the journey of a human- as in other cases too-River Vaitarani is commended as its waters would purify the sins made by the departed one- during the 'kaumara-youvana-vaardhakya- janma janmaantara' as also during 'raatri- praatah- madhyaahna-aparaahna' and both the sandhyas too. The singular solution is hence the charity of a 'kapila gomaata' to a well deserved Brahmana. The following is the verse to be recited at the time of Godaana: Gaavo mamaagratah santu gavaam madhye vahaamyaham/ Yaa Lakshmeeh sarvabhutaanaam yaa cha Deve vyavasthitaa, dhenu rupenasya Devee mama paapam vyapohatu/Cow alone is ahead of me- the departed Soul, behind me as my support, my sides too; cow is in my heart and I am on the midst of cows. May the Lakshmi Svarupa-Sarva Bhuta Svarupa-Sarva Deva Svarupa- as the

symbol of a Cow, deatroy my sins instally wih this Go- Mata! Guruda Purana sums up: those who are destined to go to heaven are supposed to grab the tail of a cow that appears on the banks of the river Vaitarna to be led safely across to the ethereal shores of Vaikuntha) Tributes to Agni Deva for the final offer of the dead body: Imamagne chamasam vaa vi jighvarah, priyo devaanaamuta soumyaanaam, esha yashchaamaso deva paanah, tasmin Devaa amritaa maadayante/ Agnervarma pari gobhirvyayasva, sam prornushva medasaa peevasaacha, net tvaa, ghrushnurharasaa jarshyashaano, dadhat vidhakkshyan, paryangyaate/ Mainamagne vi daho, maabhi shoucho maasya tvacham chikshipo maa shareeram, yadaa shrutam karavi Jaatavedo,athemainam prahinutaan pitrubhyah/ Shrutam yadaa karasi Jaatavedo athemenam pari dattaat pitrubhyah, yadaa gacchantyaasuneetimetaam, athaam Devaanaam vashaneerbhavaati/ Suryam chakshurgacchatu vaatamaatmaa, dyocha gaccha prithiveem cha dharmanaa, apo vaa gaccha yaditram te hitam, oushadheeshu pratrim tishthaa shareerereh/ Ajobhaagastapasaa tam tapasva, tam te shochishpatu tam te archih, yaaste shavaastanuvo jaatavedah, taabhirvahemam sukrutaam yatram lokaah/ Ayam vai tamasmaadadhi, tvametadayam vai tadasya yonirasi Vaishvaanarah, putrah pitre loka krut, Jaatavedo vahemam sukrutaam yatram lokaah/ Agni Deva! please do not hurl or shake this dead body; it is dear to Devas as wells as to mortals; the former seek to enjoy the pleasure of the Soma juice and this vessel is the drink of Devas and the latter who are immortal take pleasure in the Soma; this stanza is a repeat of Rig Veda 10-16-8. The next stanza is a repeat of Rig Veda's previous stanza 10-16-7 addresses the dead body: you are enclosed with the 'kavacha' or the shield of Agni Deva who is merely turning only your body parts to ashes but not your true self whish indeed is everlasting. Hence Agni is merelt clearing the mess of your body! Agni Deva! you may consume the deadbody along with his heart, pancha koshas or Five Sheaths of the body called Annamaya (Physical Energy), Praanamaya (Vital Energy), Manomaya (Mental Faculty), Vigyanamaya (Buddhi or Sharpness of Discrimination) and Ananda maya (Bliss) only but thereafter kindly despatch the 'Jeevatma'- Inner Being- safely to the Loka of His forefathers the Pitru Loka. Agni Deva, when you render the jeevatma fully rid of the memories of the erstwhile life, then That becomes rendered fit with a fresh form subject to the will of Devas. Preta swarupa! Let your vision see Surya Deva, your breath to Vayu Deva! As per your destiny and the fund of your 'sukrita phala', you may reach swarga, or back to earth or waters. In case you are destined to return as vegetation, then you shall do precisely the same swarupa once again. Rig Veda 10-16.-3. Referring to the stanza: Suryam chakshurgacchatu vaatamaatmaa, dyocha gaccha prithiveem cha dharmanaa, apo vaa gaccha yaditram te hitam, oushadheeshu pratrim tishthaa shareerereh/ as explained, Chhandogya Upanishad 5.10.6 explains: Abhram bhutwaa megho bhavati megho bhutwaa pravarshati taiha veehiyavaa oshadhiyanaspatyah tila-maasha iti jaayant, ato yai khalu durnispra pataram, yo yohyannam atti yo retaah sinchati, tad bhuya eva bhavati/(In the further travel of the Soul from white clouds to thick black clouds to rains, the same is born as paddy, barley, herbs, sesmum, black pulses and so on. Now, the release of the concerned paddy or pulse is also destined as per the time of its release from the shell to kernel; similarly the cycle of food intake from an insect to a bird or to a reptile to an animal or human being is destined likewise). The next stanzas 6.1.22 -23: Ajobhaaga stapasa tam tapasva-- and Ayam vai tvamsmaadabhi/ are as addressed to Jaataveda: 'Agni Deva! having burnt off the body totally, may the physical aspects of the human being been burnt off totally, may the subtle body as the Jeevatma be carried to the wide world of the Devas of virtue; then there is hardly any difference of Vaishvanara and Jeevatma, especially after passing through the layers that the latter passes through! 6.2.1-3: On the path above after death, the jeeva is protected by three kinds of Devas besides Agni Deva; Ya etasya patho goptaarastebhyah svaaha, ya etasya patho rakshitaarah; tebhyrarasvaahaa, ya etasya pathorakshitaarastebhyah

svaaha, Khyatre svaaha Apakhyaatre svaahaa, Abhilaalapate svaahaa Abhilaalapate svaahaa, Apalaalapate svaahaagnaye karmakrite svaaha Yamatra naadheemastasmai svaah/ Yasta idmam jabharat, slshvidaano muurdhaanam vaa tatpate tvaayaa, Divo vishvasmaat seemaghaayata uruushyah/ Asmaatyamadhi jaatosi,tyadayam jaayataam punah, Agnaye Vishyaanaraaya suyargaaya lokaaya svaaha/ May the jeeva on the ascent to high skies be protected by this Agina karma three Devas viz. Goptaarah, Rashitaarah and Abhirakshitaata. May also this offering be received to Khyaata who disclosed this secret as also to Apakhyaata who refrains from disclosing the information. May also this offering to Deva Abhilaalapat who commends the deeds of virtue of the Jeevatma that performed in the just concluded mortal life and what is more, may Apalaapad Deva not to divulge the deeds of vice with great refrain. Above all, this offering be made to Agni Deva Himself in case any other Deities of help have not been addressed by default. Agni Deva! you are indeed the unique help in reaching our oblations to all the concerned deities including those who have not been addressed! May the passage of the 'pretaatma' to the respective destinations be free from all types of visissitudes. Agni Deva, you have had the background of birth of the antaratma of the departed person irrespective of the dead person's pluses and minuses of concluded life. That is the supplication to you to assist the pretatma to a helpful rebirth. May the offering be received by Vaishvanara Agni in the upper worlds! The journey of the departed from Agni to the dogs of Yama to Pitru Loka to Surya: Pra ketunaam brihataa yatyaagnih, aarodasee vrishabho roraveeti, divaaschidantaam upamaam udaanat, apaamapasthek mahisho vavardha/ Idam ta ekam, para vuu ta ekam, truteeyena jyotishaa sam vishasya, samveshane tanvaschaarudhi priyo, Devaanaam parame sadhasthe/Naake suparnamupa yat patantam, hridaa venanto abhyachakshat tvaa, hiranyapaksham varunasyadootam, yamasya yonou shakunam bhuranyanyum/ Ati drava saarameyou shvaanou, chaturakshou shabaliu, saadhunaa pathaa, athaam pitruun suvidatraam upehi, Yamena ye sadhamaadam madanti/ You te shvaanou Yama rakshitaarou, chaturakshou pathirakshee nruchakshasou taabhyaam raajan paridehi enam, svasti chaasmaa anmeevam cha dhehi/ Urunasou asutrupaa udumbalou Yamasya dootao charato janaam anu, taavasmabhyam drishaye suryaaya, punardaataam asum adyaha bhadram/ Soma aikebhyah pavate, dhrutameka upaasate yebhyo madhi pradhaavati, taan chit evaapim gacchhataat/ Ye yudhyante pradhaneshu shuuraamso ye tanuutyajah, ye vaa sahasra dakshinaah, taan chit evaapim gacchataat/ Tapasaa ye anaadhrushyaah, tapasaa ye svaryayuh, tapo ye chakrire mahah, taamschadevaapi gacchataat/ Ashmanyatee Revati, sam rabhadvam, uttishthath pra tarataa sakhaayah, atraam jahaama ye asannashevaah, Shivaan vayam urtteeram abhi vaajaan/ Yadvai Devasya Savituh pavitram, sahasra -dhaaram vitatamantarikshe, yenaapunaat Indram anaatar maartyah, tenaaham maamsaryatanum punaami/ Yaa raashtraatpannaadapayanti shaakhaam abhimrutaa nrupatimicchamaanaah, dhaatustaaya sarvaah pavanena puutaah, prajamaasmaantrayyaa varchasaa saamsrujaaya/ Utvayam tamasah pari, jyotih pashyant uta taram, Devam devatraa, Suryam agamna jyotih ut tamam/ Dhataa punaatu Savitaa punaatu agnestejasaa Suryasya varchasaa / Agni Deva in the form of thick smoke flies high from bhumi to dyuloka with his flag assumed the form of a bull with roar; even as He enters the dyuloka with the assistance of Jala Deva assumes the form of lightningsThis stanza is the same as Rig Veda vide 10-8-1. Rig Veda 10.56.1denotes that this Praani is the food of Mrityu; Its basic form was of Agni, then that of Vayu the Deity of Wind and finally of Jyoti Tatva or of Atma Tatva. 'Meet this Soul and provide him 'tejasvi rupa' or of effulgence and get It divinity! The Third stanza is taken from Rigveda 10.121.6 meaning: This scene would be visible as that of a high flying bird Varuna in svarga loka and it is this bird which gets nourished in Yama Loka. But the departed Atma, if saved from Yama's dogs called Shaarameya which are four eyed and could change their appearance in multi colours, could then proceed to join the virtuous Pitru Loka. These Sharameya dogs both are actually are

the dogs of intuition and are the gaurdians protecting the Atma on the way up towards the Deva Yaana the divine path with their divine vision. Thus the departed human beings are hunted or helped too by the 'Yama dootas'; Rig Veda vide10.14.12 the messengers of Lord Yama are broad nosed and of extraordinary physical strength and mental energy. Once satisfied by the swing of balance of the departed soul's karma, the fierce dogs sober down and save from any evil forces on the right path. May these divine dogs guide the 'pretaatma' to reach the Land of Bliss and grant him relief from the sorrowful earth of 'arishdvargas' or the six principal evils of existence so that the Soul could look upon the Surya Deva with contentment and Joy! The seventh stanza referring to the Pitru Loka where Soma Juice flows is a repeat of Rig Veda 10.154.1; the meaning is 'Pretatma! Pitru Loka is the celestial place where Pitru Devas rejoice flows of Soma Juice and 'ghritaahutis' or the offerings of ghee while meditating on Surya Deva and that is why there is a rush for the honey of delight who are in the know and practice of Madhu Vidya. Rig Veda 1.90.6-8 explains about Madhu Vidya: Madhu vaataa rutaayate madhu ksharanti sindhayah maadhyeernah snatoshadheeh/ Madhunaktamutoshaso madhumatpaarthiyam rajah, madhu dyourastu nah pitaa/ Madhumaanno vanaspatirmadhumaam astu Suryah maadhveergaavo bhavantu nah/ Sham no Mitrah sham Varunah sham no bhavatvaryamaa, sham na Indro Brihaspatih,sham no Vishnururukramah/ May the practitioners of Yagjna Karyaas be endowed with Vaayu pravaaha rivers of sweetness as also all types of heathy herbals of pleasures. May like pitru devataas bestow divine juices of sweetness while the Maatru Varga Devatas too bless us with earthly juices of outstanding taste thus reaping the sweetness of 'Iham and Param' or on earth and thereafter! May all kinds of Vanaspatis grant us pleasures while Surya Deva with His 'tejasvi kiranas' or radiant rays shower happiness while the nights and 'usha kaala' ensure our joys always thus so that the herds of cows too yield sweet milk to us. May Mitra Deva, Varuna Deva, 'Nyaaya Pradaata' Aryama Deva, 'Aishvaryavaan' Indra Deva, 'Vaani Swaami' Brihaspati, and the Singular Universal Vishnu Bhagavan bless us all round auspiciousness!]

Sarga Seventy Seven

[Visleshana on Shraddhhas: The Brahmanas to be appointed as 'bhoktas' are to be well versed in Veda Vedangas, well behaved, healthy with no physical disabilities, coming of good family background, infallible, and trained well in performing Parvana shraddha and /or ekoddishta as well. Such ideal bhoktas be invited in advance by the Karta or his brother or son or disciple. The 'nimantrana' or invitation should be done with 'Apasavya' of 'yagnopaveeta' in respect of 'Pitru sthaana bhokta' and 'savya' position to Vaishwanara bhokta. The prescribed number of Pitru Sthana and Vaishwadeva Sthaana is three and four but as per Desha-Kaala-Parishithis or convenience and availability a minimum of one each would be a must. Vaishwa Deva Brahmanas are to be seated Purva Mukha or east facing and Pitru Deva brahmanas are Uttara mukha or facing north. The respective Brahmanas of Pitru and Vaishwadevas are not mingled nor even touch each others. Vishwedevas are stated to be ten in number: Kraturdaksho Vasuh Satyah Kaalah Kaamasthaivacha, Dhunischa Rochanaiva tathaa chaiva Pururavaah/ Ardraaascha darshete tu Vishwadavaah prakourtitaah/ (Kratu, Daksha, Vasu, Satya, Kaala, Kaama, Dhuri, Vilochana, Pururava and Ardrava are the Vaishwadevas). In the present context, two 'Arghya patras' or water vessel with 'gandha-akshata-darbhas' are placed at the seat of of the Vishwa Devas and are to be handed over with reverence to the representative Brahmanas and perform a pradakshibna around him. The arghya paatras / vessels could be of bronze or copper or palaasha leaves. Similarly at the Pitru sthaana Brahmana too has to be circubambulated but in an 'apradikshina' manner or the reverse manner changing the yajgnopaveeta in the 'praachhenaaveeti' manner. All the tasks concerning the puja of the Brahamana representing Pitru Devatas need to be done including that of his puja with black tila to be ornamented on his head downward to his feet, while puja to similarly be done to the Vaishwe deva with akshata white rice grains from head

to feet. After puja to both the Viashwanara and Pitru Devata representative- Brahmanas with gandhapushpa-dhupa- deepas, the next task would be Agnoukarana with the concurrence of the Brahmanas. This task is to make two homas after keeping Agni in the homa kunda twice reciting: Saannidhyamupaasa Somaaya pitru matey Sadhaanamah/ Agnaye kayyayaahanaaya swahaananamah/ These homa kriyas need to be performed as of Pitru yagna vidhaana homa and since Pindapitru yagna is of two fold nature of Daivikatwa and Paitrukatwa the yagopaveeta might either be in Savya or Apasavya manners as per one's own shakha manner. In any case, the remaining 'anna' needs to be disposed off in Agni itself and no remainder of it be retained. The next step is Pariveshana or purification of the cooked bhojana or bhakshya-bhojya-shaaka-soopanaadi padarthas with right hand wearing darbha followed by 'ghritaabhikarana, then holding the right hand thumbs of the Brahmanas representing the Vaishwa Deva and Pitru Devas of three generations with naama-gotras, taking care of savya-praacheenaaveti precautions, showing them around the padarhas placed in circles – in savya or apasavya manner respectively- and request them to commence the bhojana after performing 'Aaposhana' making the bhoktas feel completely comfortable discarding what ever they do not like. The karta would address the bhokas saying: Anna heenam krivaaheenam mantra heenam vadbhavet. Sarvamacchidramiyutkaa tato yatnena bhojayet/ Even as the bhojana starts, there should be Swaadhyaaya: Swaadhyaayam shraavayet Pitrye Dharma shastraani chaiva hi/ Anna Suktaadi Shravana is to be taken up during the Bhojana kaala. Also before the bhojana itself, the remainder of anna at Agnoukarana is to be placed as three small pindas along with ghee and tilas. After the bhojana follow the tasks of Sapindeekarana and Pinda pradana-puja karmas. As regards, 'Madhyama Pinda viniyoga Vidhana' or the matter related to be disposal of the middle pinda of the three pindas, it is customary that the wife of the Kartha if childless receives it with reverence in her hold with both palms from her husband as the Mantra is recited: Apaamtvoushashadho naagum rasam praashayaami bhutakrutam garbham dhatswa/ As the house wife eats the Madhya Pinda, the Mantra is to be recited: Adhatta Pitaro garbhamanta santaana vardhanam/ Manu states: Pativrataa dharma patnou pitrupujamnatparaa, Madhumantu tatah pindamadhyaatsamyak sutaarthinou/ Ayushmantam sutam vindet yasho medhaa samanvitam, Dhanavantam prajaavantam dhaarmikam saatwikam tathaa, iti/ In the event of wife not consuming the Madhyama Pinda, or even otherwise, the Tri Pindas be eaten by a Brahmana, or Agnihotra or cow or running water. In case a Karta cannot perform Parvana Shraddha for any reason of inability due to any reason he could perform the same as Sankalpa Shraddha .Source: Parashara Smriti]

Sarga One Hundred: Shri Rama having enquired Bharata's welfare gave elaborate lessons of Kshatra Dharmas on his own- [Vishleshanas 1) on King's adminitrative skill 2)on Videsha Neeti as per Manu Smriti]

[Vishlesiona on King's adminitrative skill from Manu Smriti:

An ideal King is expected to learn of the naunces of Vyavahara Vidya. He should strain himself day-and-night and practise 'indiya nigrah' or the self control of body limbs and senses An exemplary King requires to abstain from ten evil habits generated from kaama or worldly desire and eight from krodha or anger. Indeed all the habits end up in evil and human misery. To any King the ten vices resulting from Kaama or human obsessions would gradually diminish wealth and vitue while the eight vices springing from Krodha or excessive wrath could terminate in his doom and death! The set of ten vices from desires and pleasures are stated to be hunting, gambling, sleeping by the day, repetitive statements of other's failures and vanity, obsession of feminity, drunkenness, excessive involvement of dance and music, and purposeless travel. The eight vices are carrying and encouraging tales, uncalled for violence, droham or

treachery, jealousy, dushanam or abusive language, dravya haranam or unjust seizure of material and property, condemnation and censuring and physical beating. Lobha or avarice is stated as the root cause of all the evils and broadmindedness is the spring of hope. Intoxication, betting, women, and hunting are the four shortlisted banes led by human desires subjected to excesses while the worst possible offshoots of anger are abusive language, manhandling, and seizure of materials and property. Those persons who are not only prime movers of the excesses viz. the Kings in this context but the associates of these sins either from desire or anger are duly involved in the sins of humanity. Indeed Vyasana or vice and Mrityu or death are equally tough but death is easier since Mrityu has a possibility of reaching swarga but the one dragged into vyasana is sure to end up in naraka for sure! That is the reason why an ieal King needs to appoint an ideal Minister too as the latter should have the ancestry of ideal Ministers who are well versed in Shastra-Shaastra jnaana, and of proven nobility. It might sometimes be possible to bless a Kingdom even with unproven Kingship but is unimaginable to secure a Minister of trined backgound, inherent ability, knowledge and wisdom, be it in the matters of revenue incease and management, domestic governance and foreign relations. It is the Minister who has to daily interact with his deputies individually and collectively in all the matters relating punishments and rewards. This is the reason why a well read, experienced and trust worthy person- say a Brahmana with experice and wisdom, even as the King is ably assited and motivated with the larger issues and equally about the minor ones 'pro bono publico'! In turn, the Minister might appoint his deputies down the line of officialdom as in charge of duties. Thus when fully equipped with the task of governance, the King should take off the heavy responsibility of governance ably conducting the two horsed chariot of Virtue and Justice. The officials at the field level, be it for collection of revenues and of disbursements, or for internal security and and external relations too be appointed on the principles of integrity, incorruptibility and impartiality.]

Sarga Hundred continued: kaccid dhṛṣṭaś ca śūraś ca dhṛtimān matimāñ śuciḥ, kulīnaś cānuraktaś ca dakṣaḥ senāpatiḥ kṛtaḥ/balavantaś ca kaccit te mukhyā yuddhaviśāradāḥ, dṛṣṭāpadānā vikrāntās tvayā satkṛtya mānitāḥ/ Bharata! I hope you have appointed a trustworthy, loyal, well contented, brave and ever courageous, Senapati of traditional background. If not yet, please do so atonce. Further, you might have appointed a Prime Minister who is honest, industrious and public welfare minded who would be ready to kill himself for you! Then kaccij jānapado vidvān dakṣiṇaḥ pratibhānavān, yathoktavādī dūtas te kṛto bharata paṇḍitaḥ/ Have you appointed 'Raja dootaas' of our kingdom in other friendly kingdoms who should be well read vidwans, diplomatic, and of sharp skills of forien afairs!

[Vishleshana on Videsha Neeti as per Manu Smriti:

A King of idealism should appoint an Ambassador who is well versed in the art of diplomacy with a countenance of placidity and of expression backedup by proficiency in the subject of science, commerce and international affairs. More importantly the person has to be honest, skilful and of noble family background. In the context of diplomacy, he has to be an expert in the matters of Sandhi and Vigrah, give and take, intelligent enough of moves and counter-moves, possessive of good memory, fearless and eloquent, as also action oriented with timely and vigilant moves, but essentially upright and reliable. He has to be of military tactness, treasury and financial management, recogniser of allies and opponents, amd most significantly has the trust and faith of the King, his allies and the passive. In fact, he should also be able to convince the King about the realities of the Kings and Kingdoms of the countries of his posting but of what his or her King decides to convey in word or deed to the other King however harsh it may be yet couched in a polite yet firm manner. The role of an Ambassador is like a dance on a razor's edge, yet unhurting and yet with hardness. Just as a Minister posseses the wherewith all

to punish or reward, save or ruin, run the treasury to get filled up or exhausted, drive the Kigdom's Economy to prosper or take it to doom, an Ambassador too can perform similar tasks to place the Kingdom to brush it up with the colours representitive worthiness of safety for foreign trade, investment, economic collaboration. Sa vidyadasya krityeshu nirgudhengita cheshtitaih, aakaaramingitam cheshtaam bhritye shu cha chikeershitam/ A successful Ambassador has to necessarily train himself with the face, gestures and actions of the counterpart King and so should his deputies too. This is in respect of the designs of the counter part King, his designs and plans of action and most importatly that might adversely affect his Kingdom.] Bharata! Referring to Secret Agencies, are you aware that there are as many as eighteen positions in the Rajyanga or Kingship viz. Mantri-Purohita- Yuva raja-Senapati-Dwaarapaala-Antahpuraadhyaksha-Karagaaraadhyaksha-Dhanadhyasha- Specialists directly appointed by the King himself- Expert Lawyers who argue for and against on behalf oh the Kingship-Prosecutor and a three-tier Intelligence officials. Dear brother! Beware of Naastika Siddhantis in the kingdom and spies for outside kingdoms who seek to create unrest in the Ayodyha Kingdom; they all seek to preach our citizens and distort their thinking of the medium of Tarka or logic towards 'nastikata' or Atheism!. Brother! The Kingdom of Ayodhya has had an incredible glory with prosperity, dharma and nyaaya, chaturvarnas, vidwans and maha panditas of higher learning! Trust you are seeking to sustain and preserve its status in Bharata Desha. This Kingdom has been known for Ashvamedha and such maha yaginas, renowned devalayas, dharma tirtha pradeshas, samaajika utsavas, periodical social meets, ever busy trading and marketing establishments, public parks, fertile and evergreen pastures, excellent agricultural yields, timely rains, and the public of men and women have been disciplined and well contented without social evils of thefts, robberies, etc.; hopefully the same prosperity and all round contentment prevails in the Kingdom. kaccit striyah sāntvayasi kaccit tāś ca surakṣitāḥ, kaccin na śraddadhāsyāsām kaccid guhyam na bhāṣase/ The contentment and safety of women folk of the kingdom invariably decides the definite mark of the fulfillment of a kingdom; Bharata! I am confident that you are making special endeavors to this end. Further make sure of excellent pashu sampadafearlessness - dhana-dhanya-astra shastra-yantra-shilpa-vaidya disciplines.

Bharata! Make a special note of the proverbial fourteen pitfalls of Kingship:

Nastikata-Asatya bhashana-krodha-pramaada-jnaani purusha nishkramana- aalasya-panchendriya anarogya- raja nirnaya asahita-vipareeta raja nirnaya- apaarambha of nischita kaarya- gupta nirnaya dushprachara- mangalika kaarya anushthana aalasata- akasmaat shatru yudhha niraacharana. Maharaja Bharata! A successful King should always beware of dasha varga-pancha varga-chatur varja-sapta varga- ashta varga- and three varga vishayas.

(Lapses of ten categories are hunting animals and birds-play of 'chadaranga'- day sleeping-criticism of others- interest and involvement of illegal sex- madya paana- dancing-singing-instrumental music-and wasteful travels. Now, the five types of durgas or avoidable places: Jala durga or desert areas- Parvata durga or unscaled mountains; Vriksha durga or thick jungles with complex and unknown trees; Eerana durga or salted lands or saline places; and dhanva durga or desert lands. Chatur varga: Saama- Daana- Bheda- Danda. Sapta varga: Raja-Mantri-Rashtra-Forts- Khazana or treasury-Sena-and Mitra varga; Pancha varga: Blaming others behind, Saahasa or taking risks, droha or cheating, jealousy, dosha darshana or pointing mistakes, half baked blaming others, raised tones, and danda kathorata or undue punishment. Ashta varga denotes: agricultural development, business promotion, erection of forts, bridge construction, planning to secure forest elephants, occupying mountain caves, gaining monetary interst from occupied kingdoms, and populating unoccupied areas of the kingdom. Three Vidyas refer to

mastering three vedas and neeti sastra-- Krishi- and go raksha. Six gunas are Sandhi or mutual with drawyal of war, Vigraha or total abandonment of opening a war, yaana or travel, aasana or being seated with self control, dwaidhi bhava or the feature of duality or vacillation or of wavering indecision and Samaashraya or total surrender. Then the FiveDaivi bhavas or fire breaks, floods, spread of diseses, kshaama, and maha maari or out break of incurable vyadhis. The Ten Rajaaritya Neetipurna kaaryas are refusing emoluments to the sevakas of the defeated king, punish who ever has insulted among the public, punish the masters who frightned the servants, open corruption practices of getting official tasks done and the related. Twenty wrongs are engaging the services of children, aged, long time sufferes of diseases, varna saksra humans, timids, the frightned ones, those who are lobhis, their helpers, those who distatisfy ministers, senapatis and dharmatmas, vishaya laalasaas, chanchala manasas and their supporters, those who resort of Deva- Brahmana dushanas, arrogant due to superiority feeling, persons who misbehave those afflicted by hunger, those who disregard soldiers, swadesha tyagis, persons with countless enemies, untruthful and unreliable persons! Then Prakriti Mandala includes Kings and Royalties, Ministers, Respected Public Figures, and those of treasury, provincial officials, Sena and of Forts.)

Sarga One Hundred and Three: Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas cry away at father's death-offerings of tarpana and pinda daana -[Vishleshana on Tapana Vidhaana] Vishleshana on Tapana Vidhaana

Tarpana Vidhana: Ruk Saamaadrthvaa Vedoktaan Japya mantraan yajushim cha, Japitwaivam tatah kuryaaddevarshi pitru tarpanam/ Tava Vashishtah/ (Vashishtha Maharshi affirmed that even after studying Ruk-Saamaadharvana Vedas, it is essential to recite Pranava and perform tarpana to fructify the knowledge of Vedas. Vishnu Purana emphasized: Shuchi Vastradharah snaato Devarshi Pitru tarpanam, Teshaameva hi tirthena kurveet susamaahitah/ (Only on wearing clean clothes after bathing and poised with unpertubed conscience, Tarpana is to be undertaken thereafter). To Devas only one tarpana/ Jalaanjali each be executed, while to Rishis twice and to Pitru Devas thrice respectively for their satisfaction. Praaggeshu Suranstarpenmanushyaanchaiva madhyatah, Pitramstu dakshinaareshu chaika dwi trijalaanjaleen/ (As prescribed for example in Agni Purana: Tarpana Karya needs to be performed facing East in the Savya Yaginopaveeta position to Devas; to Rishis facing the East again with yaginppaveeta as a garland but to Pitru Devatas the tarpana should be performed facing south with the yagjnopaveeta worn as 'apa savya' or 'Praacheenaa veeti' or in the reverse position reciting 'Swadhaanama tarpayaami'. Pitru Devas would not be contented of tarpana is performed from a higher plane position into water flows nor with wet clothes. In fact, Pitru tarpana needs to be performed with dry clothes only preferably seated on spread over darbhas. Also tarpana be done with water drawn from one vessel and transferred to a smaller vessel into a lower plane but due to the apprehension that a lower plane on the ground might be sullied with hair, ash, coal particles, thorns, and even bones on the ground and hence the tarpana is preferably done on a clean place with darbhas are spread over. Alternatively, tarpana may be done in a large flat plate or container. For performing tarpana only vessels of gold, silver, copper, brass, bronze or any metal vessels may be used but not earthen pots; however neither metal vessels nor hands without darbhas be used for the tarpana. Deva tarpana and Rishi Tarpana needs to be performed along with water mixed with plain rice grains or white tilas. Pitru tarpana needs to be necessarily done with water mixed with black tilas. Deva Tarpana: This tarpana is to satiate Devas and the Devatva or the Divinity that is microcosmically present in all Beings in the Universe. Seated facing the east direction

with the right knee kept in contact with the ground, placing the left leg over the right leg so that the knee is above the ground, keeping Akshatas in the water pot, holding the water pot on the right hand palm, covering it with left left hand palm reciting Brahmaadaya Suraah Sarvey Rishayah Kashyapaadayah, Aagacchantu Mahaa Bhaagaa Brahmaandodaravartinah/ Now pour water with the left hand into the opne right palm releasing water from the tips of four fingers; three darbhas need to be placed on the rigt palm with the tips of darbhas aligned with finger tips while reciting the following in favour of each Devata: Om Brahmaa tripyataam, Om Vishnum tripyataam, Om Rudrah tripyataam, Om Prajapatih tripyataam, Om Devaah tripyantaam, Om Devyah tripyantaam, Om Vasavah Tripyantaam, Om Rudraah tripyantaam, Om Adityaag tripyantaam, Om Chhandaamsi tripyantaam, Om Vedaah tripyantaam, Om Rishayah tripyantaam, Om Gandharvaah tripyantaam, Om Apsaraah tripyantaam, Om Devaanugah tripyantaam, Om Naagaah tripyantaam, Om Saagaraah tripyantaam, Om Parvataah tripyantaam, Om Saritah tripyantaam, Om Manushyaah tripyantaam, Om Yakshaah tripyantaam, Om Rakshaamsi tripyantaam, Om Pishcaachaah tripyantaam, Om Suparnaah tripyantaam, Om Bhutaani tripyantaam, Om Pashavah tripyantaam, Om Vanaspatayah tripyantaam, Om Oshadhayah tripyantaam/Divya Pitri Tarpana: The revised procedure for tarpana to the Divine Devas and Manes requires change of sitting position to face the Southern direction and wearing the yagjnolpaveeta in reverse position as 'praacheenaa veeti', with left knee to be in contact with the ground while the right knee to be above the ground yet not touching it with left leg on the ground and the right leg on top of left leg; pour some black tilas (sesame seeds) in the water pot; now the offerings would be made thrice each time to Agni-Soma-Yama and Aryama ie. Agni the Divine Fire God who carries the soul of the burnt body, Soma the Water God who carries the soul of the drowned body, Yama the Maintainer of Dharma and the Judge of Karmas of the deceased and Aryama the Ruler of the Domain of Souls :Om Agnih tripyataam idam salilam jalam tasmai swadhaa namah, tasmai swdhaa namah, tasmai swadhaa namah/ Om Somah tripyataam idam salilam jalam tasmai swadhaa namah, tasmai swadhaa namah, tasmai swadhaa namah/ Om Yamah tripyataam idam salilam jalam tasmai swadhaa namah, tasmai swadhaa namah, tasmai swadhaa namah/ Om Aryamaah tripyataam idam salilam jalam, tasmai swadhaa namah, tasmai swadhaa namah/ The next three mantras are for the three Divine Manes-as were associated with the souls who were burnt or drowned and carried to the Skies till the latter are tendered to their destinations: Om Agnishu aatthaah Pitarah idam salilam jalam tebhyah swadhaa namah, tebhyah swadhaa namah, tebhyah swadhha namah/ Om Somapaah Pitarah tripyantaam idam salilam jalam tebhyah swadhaa namah,tebhyah swadhaa namah, tebhyah swadhaa namah/ Om Barhishadah Pitarah tripyantaam idam salilam jalam tebhyah swadhaa namah, tebhyah swadhaa namah tebhyah swadhaa namah/ Now in reference to the Karta's own Pitru ganas: Aadou Pitaa tathaa aataa saapatni janani tathaa, Maataa mahi ssapatnikaa Atma Patnyastwanantaram / Sutabhraatru Pitruvyaascha Maatulaascha Sabharyakaah, Duhitaa Bhagini chaiva Douhitro bhaagineyakah/ Pirushvasaa Maatrushvasaa Jaamaataa Bhaukah Snushaa, Shwashurah Syalakaschiva Shwashrushascha Guru rikthinah/ (Following is the line in which Pitru Tarpana is to be performed: Foremost to father, grand father, Great grand father, mother, father's mother, father's grand mother, Co mother if any, datta / adopted putra's parents if any, mother's father, mother's grandfather, mother's mother and the latter's mother in law, wife, sons, self's brothers, father's brothers, mother's brothers and their wives, daughters, sisters, grand sons, father's sisters, mother's sisters, son-in-law, brother's-in-law, and their wives, daughter-in-law, mother's brothers, wife's brothers, mother-in-law, Guru and the Trader, the Supplier of household goods) Tarpana prayoga: Achamya; *Mamopaattha durita* kshaya dwaaraa Parameshwara preetyartham evam guna Pituh Pitrunaam akshayya punyaloka phalaavaapyartham darsha prayukta maha punya kale tila tarpanam karishye/ --Iti sankalpya,

praacheenaaveeti dakshinaabhimukhah savyam jaanvaachya/ (After achamana and sankalpa, assume praacheenaaveeti, face Southern direction and bend the left knee being seated and commence the tila tarpana). Brahmanas should address the Pitru Devatas as sharmaanam, Kshatriyas as Varmaanam and Vaishyas as Guptam/ Following is the order in which the tarpana is made: Pitaram-gotram-sharmanam-Swadhaanamah tarpayaami-Swadhaanamah tarpayaami Swadhaanamah tarpayaami/ Pitaamaham----- Prapitaamaham----- /Maataram-gotraam-daam-Swadhaanamah tarpayami (three times)/ Pitaamaheem-gotraamdaam-Swadhaanamahtarpayami (three times); Prapitaamahim-gotramdaam-Swadhaanamah tarpayaami(3 times) At the end of the Tarpana Kriya as described above, the remaining water meant for tila tarpana be thrown away, fill up the vessel with fresh water, sit in eastward and perform Deva Tarpana by looking at Surya Deva and recite: Om Suryaya namah, Om Agnaye namah, Om Prithivya namah, Om Varunaaya namah, Om Shivaaya namah, Om Vishnave namah/ Anena yathaa shakti kritena Devarshi Pitru tarpanaakhyena karmanaa Bhagavan Pitru swarupi Janaardana Vaasu deva Parameshwara preeataam na mama/ Om tat sat/ Om Lokaah samastaa sukhino bhavantu/ Om Sarve Janaah sukhino bhavantu/ Om Shaantih Shantih Shantih/]

Sarga One Hundred and Seven: Shri Rama instructs Bharata to return to Ayodhya at once once

Vishleshanas in reference to a) Gayaasura and b) Puta / Prithu Chakravarti

Gayasura:

The legend of Gaya Tirtha is recalled in Agni Purana in the Tirtha Mahatmya: Gayasura, the King of Rakshasaas did fierce Tapasya to Maha Vishnu as the latter granted him the boon of materialising a Maha Tirtha by Gayasura's name. All the human beings and Asura-Daityaadi had the darshan of Gauasura and reached Vaikuntha as who ever had his darshan did not have to visit none else to achieve Vaikuntha. Devas and Bahma Deva approached Vishnu as the latter advised to approach Gayasura to let Brahma and Devas perform yagna over Gayasura's huge head. Gaya was in deep sleep and did not respond but still Brahma and Devas were in the process of executing the Yagna and could not perform 'Purnaahuti'the grand finale of the Yagna was still pending. Meanwhile when Gayasura woke up and wished to get up but could not. The Asura became shaky and tried hard to wriggle out from the fire pit, Vishnu advised Yama dharma Raja to keep a heavy boulder on Gaya's head and occupy the Asura's entire body of some eight km. of length till the purnahuti was over. The heavy boulder itself had a background connection: Maharshi Marichi the son of Brahma Deva was once resting in sleep and instucted his wife called Dharmavata to press his legs and not disturb his sleep other wise she would turn as a boulder. Meanwhile Brahma arrived and the wife faced a dillema whether she should obey her husband's instruction not to disturb or announce the arrival of Brahma himself. She set aside Marichi's curse even as she faced the eventuality of her turning as a boulder. She gave a return curse to Marichi to have created an awkward situation for her that Marichi would have to face Maha Deva's wrath in some another connection and entered Agni and purified herself performing tapsya for thousand years. Lord Vishnu thus took advantage of the boulder which was blessed with the foot prints of Devas and utilised for Yama Dharma Raja to place it on Gayaasura's head which eventually became famed as Deva Shila-Sarva Deva Swarupa- Sarva Tirtha mayi-and the unique Pujnya Shila. Even after the Shila was placed on his head the Asura was still breathing and hence Vishnu had to place on his 'Gada' or Mace to fully sniff him out by adding his own presence to this Gaya Tirtha. This 'Adi Gada' was the bakbone of Gajasura which was eventually turned by Deva's Architect Vishwa karma. The most outstanding PitruTirtha in the Universe, to which the Pitru Loka keeps close attention to look forward to the sons of mankind looks forward to Shraddha karmas and Pinda daanas. These Karmas not only redeem the souls of the ancestors by their performance but equally to collect bags of fulfillment to the Shraddha Kartas as far higher proportions manifold.

Puta / Prithu:

Prajapati Anga of Atri Vamsha, a defender of Dharma (Virtue) and an erudite scholar of Shastras was married to Sunitha who also was a follower of virtue and tradition. They were blessed with a son of high virtue called Vena, who on becoming a King, came under the evil influence of an evil muni who followed a Devata called 'Arhan' followed a vicious and immoral way of life and used to preach his 'Praja' (Subjects) not to perform Homas and Yagnas, nor indulge in charities, Vratas and Tirtha Yatras. In fact, he declared that he was Vishnu, Rudra, Brahma, Indra and Devas, The Rishis and Brahmanas were highly upset and undertook a huge procession to the King saying that a King was expected to guide and enforce Dharma, Nyaya (Justice) and discipline but instead Vena was getting self-opinionated by the day. The King shouted angrily that he was Dharma, Nyaya and Punya himself and that he could destroy Earth, throw it under water and break open the skies, if need be! The Rishis and Common men of the Kingdom forced their way to the King, surrounded him, forcibly overpowered and battered him. They screamed and asked him: 'Nishida' or 'sit down' and since then called him 'Nishida!' They rubbed his left thigh with force and out emerged streams of evil Beings like Nishadas, Kirathas, Bheels, Nahalakas, Bhramars, Pulinds and Mlecchas and Rishis were relieved that the King was relieved of sinners from his body. Then they rubbed the King's right hand forcibly and initially came out profuse sweat but later on materialised a 'Maha Purush'-a Unique Personality- and the congregation of Rishis named him King Pruthuand blessed him to herald a Golden Era where the Kingdom was full of propitiousness and Virtue but devoid of 'Akals' (Famines), diseases, untimely deaths, robberies and discontentment anywhere: na durbhiksham na cha Vyadhirnakaala maranam Nrinaam, Sarvey sukhena jeevanti lokaa Dharma paraayanaah! But ChakravartiPrithu decided to redeem his father King Vena from hells.He performed the duty of a son who delivers his father from hellish conditions. The word putra means one who delivers from hell, called 'Put', a worthy son who could save from a hell which is called pum-nāma-naraka and 'tra' means trāyate, or deliver. Hence putra means pum-nāma-narakāt trāyate iti putra that is the son is expected to deliver the forefathers from the hellish condition of life.(Padma Purana)]

Sarga One Hundred and Ten: Vasishtha traces the geneology of Ikshvaku- Vamsha and asks to uphold its fame and assume Kinghip as the eldest son of Dasharatha

[Vishleshana of Varaha: Brahmanda Purana is quoted: At the Kalpantara Pralaya or the Great Extermination of the Universe, the whole World got submerged in deep water as 'Ekarnava' or a single sheet of Water and the 'Sthaavara Jangamaas' or the Mobile and Immobile Beings were all submerged. then Para Brahma called Narayana, who was of 'Sahasraaksha, Sahasrapaat, Sahasra Shirsha' or of thousand eyes, feet and heads, was resting on the huge surface of water: Apo Naara iti proktaa Apo vai Nara Sunavah, Ayanam tasya taah proktaastena Narayanah smritah/ ('Apah' denotes 'Nara' or water; 'Naaraas' or the children or waves of 'Nara'; and Nara is a Being or Entity; Nara plus Ayana is Narayana as he who rests on Samsara or water). Narayana sought to locate Prithvi (Earth) deep down in water and assumed Varaahaavatara or the Incarnation of a Huge Boar like a mountain with ten yojanas of girth and hundred yojanas of height (one Yojana being 12 km), with a body of cloud-like complexion and extreme radiance of many Lightnings, Fire and Sun; making thunderous and high-pitched sounds and having broad shoulders, sharp fangs, white teeth and pointed nails. The YajnaVaraha is described as follows: Diksha Samaapteeshtim damshtrtah kratu danto Juhuumukhah, Agni jihvo darbha romaa Brahma seersho Mahatapaah/ Veda skandho havirgandhirhavyakavyaadi vegavaan, Praagvamsha kaayo Dyutimaan naanaa Dikshaabhiranvitah/ Dakshinaa hridayo Yogi Shraddhaa satwa -mayo Vibhuh, Upaakarma ruchischaiva pravagyaavarta bhushanah/ Naanaachhandogati patho guhyopanishad aasanah, Maayaapatnisahaayo yai Giri shringamiyocchrayah/ Aho raatrekshana dharo Vedanga shriti bhushanah, Aajya gandhah struvastundah Samaghosa swano Mahaan/ Satyadharma mayah Shrimaan Karma vikrama saskrutah, Prayaschitta nakho ghorah Pashujaanurmahaamakhah/ Udgaadaantro Homa Lingah Phala beeja mahoushadheeh, Vaadyantaraatmasatrasya naasmikaasomashonitah/ (The Yagna Varaha took up the diksha or Initiation of the Kratu or the Sacifice with his 'damshtras' or curved fangs

and teeth holding the 'Juhu' or the crescent shaped wooden ladle with which to make the offerings of ghee; Agni was his tongue to lap up the Sacrifice; Darbha grasses were the Varaha's hairs; Brahma one of the Chief of 'Ritviks' or the Brahmanas performing the Sacrifice was comparable to Varaha Murti's Head; Vedaas were his shoulders; his body-aroma was his 'havis' or the Sacrificial Offering; the Havya and Kayya or the offerings to Devas and Pitru Devas respectively consituted his body-speedwith which the Sacrificial Offerings were made; the 'Praagvamsha' or the East-bound Chamber in which the guests at the Sacrifice were seated was Varaha's kaaya or the spacious physique; He was highly radiant and capable of accepting several Dikshas like the one being performed; He was the Master of Yoga full of Shraddha and Satwa or Sincerity and Resolve; he had Upakarma or extra study of Vedas and an expert in 'Pragvargya' or the Introductory Ceremony to the long-duration Soma Sacrifice; his 'Avarta Bhushana' or the ornamental and circular curls of the boar chest; the representation of various 'Chaandas' or Poetic Meters as his pathway; Upanishads as his seat; his able asistance is Maya as his spouse; his height was that of a mountain peak; his eyes representing Sun and moon and day and night; Vedangas and Shritis were his ear-ornaments; his body smell was that of 'Ajya' or the Ghee offering; Sruva or the sacrificial ladle is like his snout or muzzle; his voice was like the high pitch of the chanting of Saama Veda hymns; 'Udgata' or the elongated Sama Veda hymn was like his entrail or intestines; homa was his Linga or Symbol; fruits and seeds are his testicles; the altar of sacrifice was his heart; He was an Epitome of Satya Dharma and Soma Rasa was his own blood.) Thus Yajna Varaha Deva, as Nasika Soma sonita, dived deep into waters and lifted up Earth, allocated waters into Oceans and Rivers on Earth, materialised Mountains to stabilise the waters thus allocated, broadly created Sapta Dwipas on Earth, materialised Bhurbhuvassuraadi Lokas and their inhabitants on the same pattern as in the previous Kalpas before the Great Pralaya.]

Sarga One hundred and Eighteen: Devis Anasuya and Sita exchange views- Anasuya gives gifts to Sita- Sita describes her 'swayamvara'

Vishleshana on Savitri and Rohini Devi Pativrataas: 1. Sati Savitri: (Refer Sarga Thirty above.)

2: Devi Rohini: As Prajapati Daksha married off all his twenty seven daughters to Soma, the latter was ignoring all the daughters, excepting Devi Rohini. The 27 daughters married to Chandra are Krttika, Rohinī, Mrigasheersha, Aardra, Punarvasu, Purbabhadrapada, Pushya, Aslesha, Magha, Svaati, Chitra, Purvaphalguni, Hasta, Dhanishtha, Vishaakha, Anuraadha, Jyeshtha, Moola, Purvaashaadha, Uttaraashaadha, Shravana, Uttarphalguni, Shatabhisha, Uttarbhadrapada, Revati, Ashwini, Bharani. These 27 wives of Chandra are 27 Nakshatras (the constellations) which are on the moon's orbit. The rest of them complained to their father Daksha who reprimanded Soma to behave but Soma ignored the repeated warnings of Daksha. Out of exasperation, Daksha cursed Soma to gradually decline and finally disappear. In the absence of Soma, there were far reaching adverse effects in the Universe. Devas including Vanaspati felt Soma's absence and so did human beings, trees, animals and worst of all medicinal plants, herbs and so on. The Sky was dark and the Stars too lost the shine. Chandra prayed to Lord Shiva for long at Prabhasa Tirtha and since Daksha's cures was irreversible a compromise was made that during Krishna paksha Chandra would wane and wax during Shukla Paksha. However, this formula proved defective as Chandra was sinking in the Ocean causing natural sufferings by way of non availa bility of herbs and so on and at the request of Devas to Shiva again, Chandra left only with one of the 'Kala', the Lord gracefully wore the Crescent Moon on His 'jataajuta mastaka' for good, enabling Chandra to wane and wax every month eversince! As Devas approached Vishnu, He advised the solution of Churning the Ocean by both Devas and Danavas and latter too agreed to the proposal for the lure of securing 'Amrit'. In the process of churning, Moon was given birth again. This had brought great relief to Devas, human beings whose 'Ekadasha Indriyas' (Eleven Body parts), 'Pancha Bhutas' (Five Elements),

Solah Kshetra Devatas, Trees and Medicines. Even Rudra's head was without Soma and so did water. Lord Brahma blessed Pournima thithi and selected the day for worship to Chandra Deva when fast is viewed propitious along with token amount of money and material as charity. That specific day 'Yava' Bhojan (Barley food) or barley made material is considered to blessed a person with Gyan (Knowledge), radiance, health, prosperity, foodgrains and salvation.]

ESSENCE OF VALMIKI ARANYA RAMAYANA

Sarga One: Shri Rama - Devi Sita-Lakshmanas felicitated in 'Muni ashramas' [Vishleshana on Bali Vaishva Deva from 'Dharma Sindhu']

[Vishleshana on Bali Vaishva Deva: Vaishwdeva is significant as there are five major sources of 'Jeeva Himsa' called 'Panchasuna': Vaishvadevah prakartavyah Pancha Sunaapanuttaye, Khandani peshani chulli jala kumbhotha maarjani/ ('Khanadani' or cutting vegetables etc by the Kichen Cutter made of iron or sharp metals, Peshani or pounding and pasting appliances, retaining water in and cleaning of vessels; besides washing the material and sweeping and floor cleaning). Vaishwadeva is one way of reducing the impact of killing the 'Pranis' by way of the these main routine means. This Prakarana of Vaishvadeva commences from the mornings but not as in the Agni Karyaas in the evenings. Hence the Sankalpa: Pratassaayam VaishvaDeva karishye/ In fact, there are Pancha Maha Yagnas that are required to be performed on daily basis viz. Brahma Yagna, Bhuta Yagna, Pitru Yagna, and Manushya Yagna. Rigvedis consider three Yagnas viz. Deva Yagna, Bhuta Yagna and Brahma Yagna; Manushya Yagna is to provide food to Human Beings. Griha pakva havishvaannaistaila kshaaraadi varjitaih, Juhuyaatsirpashaabhyaktaih Gruhyegnou loukikey pivaa/ Yasminngnoupachedannam tasmin homo vidhiyatey/ (The 'Havyanna' or the food which is cooked at home without oil, salt and spice but made of ghee in the 'Gruhaagni' or Loukigani or that as prepared at Vivaahaadi Homaas after 'Nityouposana' is indeed worthy of Vaishvadeva Karya). Since this Havishaanna is also used for Pitru Yagna and Nitya Shraaddha this is eminently worthy of consumption by Brahmanas. This Vaishvadeva is therefore a sure means of Atma Samskaara and Anna Samskaara. Therefore there would be one Vaishvadeva in a family unit of undivided brothers. If for any reason, this kind of 'Anna paaka' is unavilable, the Vaishvadevaanna might be prepared as of Ekadashi Bhojana made of cooked rice, milk, curd, ghee, fruit and water. Vaishvadeva needs to be done with 'Anna' by hand; if this had to be done by water then it has to be by 'Anjali'. But Kodravam chanakam maasham masuram cha kulutthakam, Kshaaram cha lavanam sarvam Vaishwadevevi varjitam/ (The specified pulses, spices and salt are forbidden for use in the Vaishvadeva Karya.) In case the Kartha leaves station then he should commission a Ritvik to perform the needful. Alternatively he could observe the Karya wherever he goes out of his house. Rigvedis and Taittiriyaas consider it necessary to perform Vaishvadeva both in the day time and the night; they observe it by preparing the Lokaagni Paaka or at Vivahas etc. as described above. When Vaishvadeva is done twice a day/night, then the Vaishnavites light up sixteen or five 'Deepaas' or Lights. After providing various 'Upachaaraas' or Services, then they offer Naivedya to Bhagavan Vishnu with the same food meant for consumption of the family and a part of it is given as Viashvadeva. Vishnorniveditaannena yashtavyam Devataantaram, Pitrubhyaschaapi taddeyan tadaanantyaaya kalpatey/(The naivedya offered to Bhagavan Vishnu is what should be offered to other Devataas; in fact this 'Prasaada' or the 'Sesha Naivedya' or the left over food is apt for offering to Pitru Devataas also as that offer would secure 'Ananta Punya'. In this context, a Vaishnava is stated to have assumed the 'Diksha' or Mantrika Discipline from a Guru of the 'Upadesha' of the 'Ashtaakshara Mantra' and its Japa. Those who are in the

'Vaishnava Parampara'or of Vaishnava Following do strictly obeserve regulations of Upavasa Dharmaas on Ekadashis and many such self restraints. One might wonder that after all a person could be qulified as Vaishanava only if he observes severe procedures and conventions like the observance of 'Pancha Raatraas' and so on. This query is replied that it is no doubt observance of Pancha Ratraas etc. are no doubt great qualifications to become a Vaishnava, but there are Vaishnvites among Kshatriyas and Vaishyas too as they do observe Gayatrupadesha-Adhyayana-Daana-Japa-Yagna and such normal Dharmas effortlessly and at the same perform their Varnaashrama dharmas like those of Kshatriya's Administration and Vaishya's business duties. They do imbibe qualities of Shuchi, Snaana, Sutakatwa, Shraadha vidhis etc from Vaishnava Brahmanas. Ashvalaayana Vaishvadeva Vidhi: Ashvalaayanas perform Vaishvadeva with the Sankalpa: Mamaatmaanna samskaara panchasoonaa janita dosha parihaaradwaara Parmeshwara preetyartham Praataraishva devam Saayam Vaishvadevam cha sahatamtrena karishye/(I shall perform the morning and evening Vaishyadeva to gratify Paramatma to offset the blemishes arising out of Anna Samskara and Panchasoona vidhis. Then prepare 'Paakaanna' in pot by lighting up Pachaagni named Paavaka and on reciting Chatvaari Shringaa and after Prokshana with water all around the 'Agni Kunda' saying Vishvaaninah, mix up with ghee and curd and make three parts, offer with right hand one part for Devata Homa uttering Suryaaya swaaha, Suryaayedam namama, Prajapataye, Somaaya, Vanaspataye, Agnishomaabhyaam, Indraagnibhyaam, Dyaavaa Prithivi -bhyaam, Dhanvantaraye Indraaya, Vishvepa- Devebhyah Brahmaney; these are ten 'Pratarayaishwa Devaahutis'. Like wise the 'Saayam Vaishva -Deveeyaas' of Agnaye swaahaa, Prajaapataye etc. are done. Thus twenty Aahutis are offered to Agni deva and perform 'Parisha -muhana' around the Homa Kunda with water by way of Sparsha and 'Paryukshana' by way of prokshana saying *Om chamey*. Then the 'Upasthyaana Karya' or terminal task be done. This is the procedure of Deva Yagna. Bali Harana: Out of the remainder 'Anna Bhaga', a portion be kept on clean Bhumi around the Homa Kunda and offer to Agni uttering Suryaaya swaahaa Suryaaya idam namah; in this fashion, there should be sixteen Ahutis from the portions kept on the East side with space in between and utter: Adbhya swaaha, Oshadhi vanaspatibhyah, Gruhaabhyah, Griha Devataabhyaha, Vaastu Devataabhyaha/ Then continue the Ahutis from the Eastern side as follows: Indraaya and to the North direction Indrapurushebhyah; to Yama purushebhyah towards Sky on the Southern side; Varuna Purushebhyah to the Eastern side; Soma Purushebhyah on northern side; and Brahmaney, Brahma Purushebyah, VishwebhyhoDevebhyah Sarvebhyo Devebhyah, Divaachaa -ribhyah/Like wise Saayamkaala Vaishva Deva Bali harana too be performed. Bhuta Yagna: The third part of the Anna Bhaga is offered with 'Praacheenaa veeti' addressed to Yama uttering Swadhaa Pitrubhyah and on the Southern side Pitrubya idam namah to Pitru Devatas. Some persons perform Bali Harana in a circular manner; Balaavanudhrutey naadyaannodhareccha Swayam Bali/ (Before the Bali daana none in the family should consume food, nor one should perform Bali by him self). Pitru Yagna: After the Bali daana, the Karta should have the homefront done up with Jala Prokshana and offer the Pitru Pindas in different directions to enable crows to eat the same: Aindra Vaaruna Vaayavyaa Yaamyai Nairrutikaaschaye, tey Kaakaah pratigruhnantu Bhumyaam pindam mayojjitham/ (May the Pindas kept on Bhumi in Indra-Yama-Nirruti-Varuna-Vayu Dishas be consumed away by crows by way of the remainders of the Pitru Yagnaanna). Further there are two 'Shunakas' or dogs in the abode of Lord Yama named 'Shyama Shabalaas' and I offer them these Pindas with the supplication to them to safeguard us in our paths! Having done this, the Karta should wash his feet, perform Aachamana and having recited Shaantaa Prithivi and Vishnu Smarana and enter his house. Manushya Yagna: The Karta should apportion one 'Atithi bhojana' or sixteen or at least four fistfuls of

Anna reciting: *Sanakaadi Manushyobhoy hanteydam na mama/* This might be given away to mendicants Source: Dharma Sindhu].

Sarga Eleven: Rama Sita Lakshmanas visit Panchapsara Tirtha and Maandikarana ashrama and after visiting other Muni Ashramas too, visit the ashram of the brother of Agastya Maharshi who lauds the glory of Agastya

<u>Vishleshanas on a) Creation of Agasthya and Vasishtha as brothers by MitraVaruna from Urvashi and b)</u>
<u>Agastya Muni dries up the Ocean and enables to destroy the demon Kalakeya- Matsya-Padma Puranas respectively</u>

Once Indra despatched Vayu and Agni to destroy Danavas and having successfully killed thousands of the enemies, ignored some Daityas like Taraka, Kamalaaksha, Paravasu, Kaladamshtra and Virochana as they fled away and concealed in deep Seas. The Danavas who hid themselves kept on tormenting human beings as also Devatas eventually. Indra ordered that Vayu and Agni should dry up the Sea water, especially to kill dangerous Diatyas like Jambhasura, but the both the Devas argued that in the process of drying up the Seas even in a minor manner there would be serious havoc caused to crores of Jeevas. Indra was annoyed at their argument and cursed them to fall down on Earth from Swarga and both the Devas entered into a 'Jala Kumbha' or Water Pitcher as a single body. Meanwhile, Sages Nara and Narayana were in Tapasya on Gandhamadana Mountain, and Indra was concerned that they might not be a threat to his chair; he despatched a few Apsaras to the Mountain along with Kamadeva but their attempts to tempt the Maharshis failed. As the Apsaras continued to be stationed there, Narayana Rishi created a damsel of exquisite attraction from his thighs and named her Urvasi; he desired that Apsaras should realize that their beauty was nothing compared to whom they could materialise as Urvasi and they could not possibly tempt Nara Narayan Maharshis, after all! Mitra (Sun God) and Varuna (Rain God) happened to see the damsel and could not resist the fall of their combined semen of Mitravaruna which was deposited in the same Jala Kumbha (pitcher) that fell down from the Swarga and thus Agastya was born as Kumbha Sambhava. Vasishtha too was reborn from the pitcher earlier since he felt offended when King Nimi did not properly attend to him as he visited the King and hence gave a curse to Nimi to live as 'Videha'or without body, but the King too gave a return curse; both Nimi and Vasishtha approached Lord Brahma who solved the problem by retaining Nimi's life in his Eyes and Vasishtha to be reborn to Mitravaruna since the latter's semen fell in the pitcher on seeing Apsara Urvashi. Subsequently Agastya married Lopamudra, absorbed the entire Ocean in his Kamandulu to isolate the Danavas to enable Indra to kill the notorious Danavas and released it later as his urine and was thus stated to be salty!; he also razed down the ego of Vindhya Mountain by making him bend for ever thus banning the Mountain to stoop for ever till the Sage's return which never happened as he continued to stay down the Vindhyas. There was also the legend attributed to Agastya about the Daitya brothers Ilvala and Vatapi, who knew the Mrita Sanjeevani Mantra; they would assume the forms of Brahmanas and seek the passers by to tempt them to a feast of goat-meat, and after consuming the meal ask Vatapi to come out and Vapati would come out piercing through the tummy of the stranger and the brothers would enjoy his meat. But Agastya Muni was too clever to bless the good food saying 'Vatapi! Jeerno bhava' and Vatapi was fully digested even before Ilvala was able to recite the Mrita Sanjeevani Mantra! [Till date, devotees recite 'Aditya Hridaya' scripted by Agastya Muni. Vasishtha, the Brahmarshi was the arch-enemy of Rajarshi Viwswamitra ever since the latter claimed Nandini the Celestial Cow and fought a battle in which Viswamitra was defeated. The enmity continued till once both the Rishis cursed each other to become birds and finally Brahma had to intervene and convert them back as human beings]. Agastya Muni satisfied Maheswara with ruthless penance for several years and secured boons of longevity for twenty five crores of years as long as thousand lives of Brahmas. The boon also covered that whosoever worshipped him for seven days for seven years with 'Arghya' or offering water addressing the Muni along with charities of a white cow and calf, silver vessel, and white clothes as follows would be blessed with good health, good Form, and contentment: Kaashapushpa prateekaasha Agni Maruta Sambhava, Mitraavarunayoha putra kumbhayoney

Namostutey/ The first Arghya would provide Good Form, the second one Bhuvarloka and the third Swarloka.(Matsya Purana)

Agastya Muni dries up the Ocean and enables to destroy the demon Kalakeya: In the vicinity of Pushkar Tirtha were 'Ashramas' of illustrious Mararshis like Agastya. A highly vily and valiant Danava named Kalakeya was in battle with Devas for many years and he kept another mighty Danava called Vritrasura as a shield in between him and Devas. With folded hands, Devas approached Brahma to get rid of Vritrasura as well as Kalakeya. Brahma suggested that Vritrasura was invincible due to unprecedented boons given by Parameswara and the only way out was to approach Sage Dadheechi and beg him for his back-bone which could materialize a mighty 'Vajrayudha' which alone could destroy Vritrasura. Devas prayed to Sage Dadheechi and keeping in view the holy task of killing Vritrasura, the Sage agreed to sacrifice his backbone and hence his life. Devas approached Vishvakarma to create Vajrayudha. A fierce battle between Vritrasura backed by Kalakeya on the one hand and Indra armed with Vajrayudha as well as the full force of Devas followed. Vritrasura made such frightening screams that went shivers to Earth, the 'Dishas' (Directions), the Antariksha (Sky) and the Planets. Indra utilised the newly made Vairayudha and felled down the huge body of Vritrasura to the ground. The demoralised 'Asuras' ran helter-skelter with a phenomenon called Vristrasura and finally took shelter in the deep Ocean. Kalakeya too hid in the Ocean and over a period of time, reformulated the Danavas who resorted to nightwarfare and nocturnal killings of lakhs of human beings in sleep and once again threatened the balance of power between the Davanvas and Devas. Indra and Devas approached Lord Vishnu and implored him to save them, the humanity as also the four kinds of 'Srishti'viz. 'Andajas' or those born of Eggs, 'Svedajas' or those born of body sweat, 'Jarayuja' or those born of womb, and 'Udbhuja' or born of germination. Lord Vishnu told the Devas that the most dangerous Asura Kalakeyi along with his huge numbers of Danavas who concealed themselves in the deep waters of the Ocean were gradually killing all kinds of species mentioned above in the nights and the only way of exposing the Danavas in very large numbers would be to completely dry up the Oceans by taking out the water; Vishnu further declared that the only Sage who was powerful enough to dry up the Oceans was Mahatma Agastya, the son of Mitravaruna. Devas then approached Agastya Muni and prayed to him that in the past too, the Muni was kind enough to have averted crises for saving the very existence of the Universe in highly critical situations like when Nahusha occupied the chair of Indra on highly temporary basis and created embarrassment and havoc in the worlds and punished him subsequently; and when Vindhyachala grew up in height compared with Meru Mountain obstructing the passage of Surya and subdued Vindhya by asking him to bend in reverence and not allowing to stand up till date. Devas made to instant request to Agastya Muni to drink up the water of the Ocean exposing Kalakeya and followers so that they were trapped and destroyed at once by Devas. The dried up Ocean was refilled by another despatch of Ganga by a repeat performance by Bhagiratha. (Padma Purana)]

Sarga Thirteen: Maharshi Agastya complements Devi Sita as a 'pativrata' and directs Rama Lakshmanas to construct Panchavati Ashram Vishleshana on Devi Arundhati

[Vishleshana on Arundhati:

As per the Bhagavata Purana, Arundhati is the eighth among the nine daughters of Kardama and Devahuti. She is the grandmother of Parashara and the great-grandmother of Vyasa. Shiva Purana describes her as being Sandhya, the mind-born daughter of Brahma, in a previous birth. On instruction of Vashista, Sandhya pleased Shiva by penance in order to purify herself from passion, and Shiva asked her to jump into Medhatithi's fire. She was then born as Medhatithi's daughter and married Vashista. The Mahabharata describes Arundhati as an ascetic who used to give discourses to even the Sapta Rishis.In one of the rituals of a Hindu weddings, the groom shows the bride the double stars of Vashista and

Arundhati as an ideal couple, symbolic of marital fulfilment and loyalty. The couples are asked to look up the constellation symbolizing conjugal love and affection.]

Sarga Fourteen: On the way to Panchavati, Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas meet the Great Grudhra Raja Jatayu who vividly explains the family background of Jatayu

[Vishleshana on Daksha Prajapati and Kashyapa from Puranas

a) Daksha Prajapati had the key role in the legend of Chandra Deva. Daksha and Devi Asikli had thousands of sons who were named the Shavalashvas and Haryashvas. While Shavalashvas also went off to explore Paramatma 'in cognito' never to return, Daksha and Asikli were distressed that Haryasvas were instigated by Sage Narada to disappear and proposed to kill him but for the intervention of Lord Brahma. Daksha offered prayers to Paramatma to purify his thoughts at a place known as 'Aghamarshana' near a mountain in Vindhya Range. The latter was pleased and instructed to lead a family life and carry on his normal duties. Accordingly, Daksha married Prajapati Panchajana's daughter 'Aksini' and begot ten thousand sons. As instructed by their father Daksha, the sons decided to perform austerities to beget children and reached a place named Narayanasaras, where River Sindhu joins the Sea. Sage Narada appeared there and mind-washed them about the futility of begetting progeny and getting involved with family lives and the perennial problems; he advised that the real purpose of a useful life would be to follow the path of God-consciousness instead. Narada gave the Theory of Creation and Destruction- the chain of births and deaths, and the futility of pursuing such a life. The mind-setting of Narada was so convincing that they followed the short-cut spiritual way rather than the circuitous and too familiar family route to God. Being furious at what had been done by Narada to his sons, Daksha cursed Narada that henceforth the latter would be a globe trotter and would never be settled and static, much less as a family person. Narada in turn could have given a curse to Daksha but restrained in the interest of the next generation to observe the Grihasti's life's route to salvation. (Maha Bhagavata) b) Daksha couple gave birth to sixty eight, ten of whom were married to the Dharma Deva and thirteen Kashyapa Maharshi, twenty-seven daughters were married to Soma or Chandra. The remaining daughters were married to the Arishtanemi, Vahuputra, Angirasa and Krishashva Maharshis. The ten daughters who were married to the Dharma Deva were named Arundhati, Vasu, Yami, Lamba, Bhanu, Marutvati, Sankalpa, Muhurta. Sadhya and Vishva. Arundhati's children were the material objects of the world. Vasu's children were the eight gods known as the Vasus. Their names were Apa, Dhruva, Soma, Dhara, Salila, Anala, Pratyusha and Prabhasa. Anala's son was Kumara. Because Kumara was brought up by goddesses known as the Krittikas, he came to be called Kartikeya. Prabhasa's son was Vishvakarma. Vishvakarma was skilled in architecture and the making of jewelry. He became the architect of the gods.Sadhya's children were the gods known as Sadhyadevas and Vishva's children were the gods known as Vishvadervas. The twenty-seven daughters of Daksha who were married to Soma are known as the nakshatras (stars). Kashyapa married thirteen of Daksha's daughters. Their names were Aditi, Diti, Danu, Arishta, Surasa, Khasa, Surabhi, Vinata. Tamra, Krodhavasha, Ila, Kadru and Muni. Aditi's sons were the twelve gods known as the adityas. Their names were Vishnu, Shakra. Aryama, Dhata, Vidhata, Tvashta, Pusha, Vivasvana, Savita, MitraVaruna, Amsha and Bhaga. Diti's sons were the daityas (demons). They were named Hiranyaksha and Hiranyakashipu, and amongst their descendants were several other powerful daityas liked Bali and Banasura. Diti also had a daughter named Simhika who was married to a danava named Viprachitti. Their offspring's were terrible demons like Vatapi, Namuchi, Ilvala, Maricha and the Nivatakavachas. The hundred sons of Danu came to be known as danavas. The danavas were thus cousins to the daityas and also to the adityas. In the danava line were born demons like the Poulamas and Kalakeyas. Arishta's sons were the Gandharvas (singers of heaven). Surasa gave birth to sarpas, the snakes. Khasa's children were the Yakshas (demi-gods who were the companions of Kubera, the god of Wealth) and the Rakshasas. Surabhi's descendants were cows and buffaloes. Vinata had two sons named

Aruna and Garuda. Garuda became the king of the birds. Tamra has six daughters. From these daughters were born owls, eagles, vultures, crows, water-fowl, horses, camels and donkeys. Krodhavasha had fourteen thousand children known as nagas (snakes). Ila gave birth to trees, creepers, shrubs and bushes. Kadru's sons were also known as nagas or snakes. Among the more important of Kadru's sons were Ananta, Vasuki, Takshaka and Nahusha. Muni gave birth to the Apsaras (dancers of heaven). Diti's children (daityas) and Aditi's children (Adityas) continually fought amongst themselves. On one particular occasion, Devas succeeded in killing many of the demons. Thirsting for revenge, Diti began to pray to her husband, Kashyapa that she be given birth to a son who would kill Indra, the king of the Devas. Kashyapa found it difficult to refuse his wife outright but gave a condition that she would have to bear the son in your womb for a hundred years. Diti resolved to do so but Indra came to know about Diti's resolve and was waiting for an opportunity to save himself. There was an occasion when, tired after her prayers. Diti went to sleep without first washing her feet. This was an unclean act and it gave Indra the required opportunity. He adopted a miniscule form and entered Diti's womb. With his weapon vajra, he sliced up the baby inside the womb into seven parts. The baby naturally began to cry at the pain. Indra kept on saying, 'ma ruda' that is, 'don't cry.' But the baby, or rather its seven parts, would not listen. Indra thereupon sliced up each of the seven parts into seven more sections, so that there were forty-nine sections in all. When these forty-nine sections were born, they came to be known as the Maruts, from the words - ma ruda- that Indra had addressed them. Since Diti had not been able to adhere to the conditions her husband had set, the Maruts did not kill Indra. They instead became Indra's followers or companions, and were treated as Devas. (Brahma Purana).

c) Daksha and his wife Prasuti had 24 daughters. The names of these 24 daughters are Sraddha (faith), Srilakshmi (prosperity), Dhriti (steadiness), Tushti (resignation), Pushti (thriving), Medha (intelligence), Kriya (action, devotion), Buddhika (intellect), Lajja (modesty), Vapu (body), Santi (expiation), Siddhika (perfection), Kirtti (fame), Khyati (celebrity), Sati (truth), Sambhuti (fitness), Smriti (memory), Priti (affection), Kshama (forgiveness), Sannati (humility), Anasuya (without jealousy), Urjja (energy), Swaha (offering), and Swadha (oblation). Of these, the 13 married to Dharma are: Shraddha, Srilakshmi, Dhriti, Tushti, Pushti, Medha, Kriya, Buddhi, Lajja, Vapu, Santi, Siddhi, Kirtti. The other eleven are Khyati married to Bhrigu, Sati to Shiva, Sambhuti to Marichi, Smriti to Angiras, Priti to Pulastya, Kshama to Pulaha, Sannati to Kratu, Anasuya to Atri, Urjja to Vasishtha, Swaha to Agni, and Swadha to Pitris. (Vishnu Purana and Padma Purana)]

Sarga Fifteen: The compact and vastu based 'Panchavati Parnashaala' of Rama-Sita-Lakshmanas reside comfortably

[Vishleshana on Vaastu Shaantii: VAASTU YAGNA comprises: Sutrapath, Stambhaaropana or hoisting of the main Pillar, Dwara vamshocchraya, Griha Pravesha and Vaastu Shanti. Sutrapath takes place in the Ishana Disha and Stambhaaropana in Agneya kona. Vaastu Deva's 'Pada Chinhas' or foot prints should be set up and the 'Karta'should do 'pradakshinas' (circumambulation) around the foot-prints. It is stated that water with the powder of Munga, Ratna and Suvarna should be sprinkled while designing the 'Pada-Chihnaas'. Incidentally, the signs of Vaastu should never be ash, lit up firesticks, nails, skins, horns, bones, and skull as some ill-informed persons tend to do so and such material would lead to distress, danger and difficulties. It is advisable that masons and other workers are present at the time of Griha Pravesh. Ishaaney Devataagaaram tathaa Shaanti gruham bhavet, Mahaanasam thathaagneye tatpaarswam chottarey jalam, Gruhasyopakaram sarvam Nairutye Sthaapaded Buddhah/ Bandhasthaanam bahih kuryaat snaana mandapameyyacha, Dhana Dhaanyam cha Vaayayye karmashaalaam tato bahih, Evam Vaastu viseshah syaad Ghruha bhatruh shubaavaham/ (To the Ishaana side of any house, the Devataagruha and Shantigriha must be set up; its kitchen must be in the Agneya kona; to the northern side the 'Jala sthaan' (Water reservoir); all the house materials be kept in the Nairuti kona; the place for keeping domestic animals like cows and buffalos as well as bathing rooms are better constructed outside the house; the storage place for Dhana-dhanya should be kept in the Vayavya kona; the 'Karya shala' or the Offices should be organised outside the residential place. This pattern of living

would certainly assure excellent propitiousness and happiness to the entire family. At the 'Griha Pravesh' function (House Warming Time) approaches, Peace and Prosperity is ushered in as stated: *Krutwaagrato Dwijavaraanatha Purnakumbham Dhadyakshataamala pushpa phalopa shobham/ Datwaa hiranyavasanaani tadaa Dwijebhyo, Maangalya Shaanti nilayaya gruham vishekthu/ Gruhoktahoma vidhaanaa Bali karma kuryat, Praasaada Vaastu shamaney cha vidharya uktah, Santarpayed vijavaraanatha bhakshya bhojjyeh, Shuklaambarah Swabhavanam pravishet sa dhupam/(As the house is fully ready, the Head of the family should initiate the action of conducting 'Mangala Shanti' with a group of Brahmanas ahead along with a 'Kalasha'/Vessel, full of Sweet Water, Curd, Akshatas, tender mango leaves, flowers, fruits and coconuts as also scented sandal water, agarbattis/ incense sticks and oil-wick lamps nicely lit and decorated, as Brahmanas recite Veda hymns and musical instruments are played, while entering the house at the appointed 'Muhurta'. There after Griha praasaadas/ doors and other household items are purified for Vaastu Shaanti and Homa and Balidaana are performed. Brahmanas are treated with Bhojan and gifts of gold, vastras and dakshinas, where after relatives and friends are treated too with bhojan and gifts. Source Matsya Purana as a repeat of Chitrkoota exercise of 56 sarga of Essense of Ayodhya Khanda]*

Sarga Sixteen: Happy living by Rama Sita Lakshmanas at Panchavati through Hemanta Ritu and Godavari Snaanaas

[Vishleshana on a) Rithus / Seasons; abd b) on the Sacred River Godavari and the excellence of bathings in the River

[Vishleshana on Ritus:

The following chart provides the details: Ritu/ Season- Lunar Month - Months - Weather

Vasanta	Spring	Chaitra - Vaishakha	Feb 18- April 20	20-
30Greeshma	Summer	Jyeshtha- Ashadha	April 21-June 21	30-50 C
Varsha	Monsoon	Shravana-Bhadrapada	June 22-Aug 23	hot-humid- rains
Sharat	Autumn	Ashvijuja-Kartika	Aug 24- Oct 23	mild
Hemanta	Pre-winter	Margashira-Pushya	Oct 24- Dec 21	pleasant- cold
Shishira	winter	Maagha-Phalguna	Dec 22-Feb 17 Mo	oderate Cold;10C+/-

Vasanta Season is dominated by Vasu Devatasas instructed by Savitu as at the beginning of the Samvatsara and heralding colours, dresses, flowers and freshness all around and with plentiful water and Nature. The Spring season beckons relatives and friends to home with good food and gifts. In Greeshma the summer season scorches earth with heat asking for light dresses in white as Rudra and his gana devats dominate and prepares earth for Parjany and rains ushering diseases like cold, jaundice and so on. Yet, this is when crops are abundant and fruits in variety are aplenty. All the same rains the future of food supplies for the year hence calls for ploughing, planning and hard work.]

[Vishleshana on the Sacred River Godavari and the excellence of bathings in the River:

Tato Gadaavarim praapya nitya siddha nishevitaam, Rajasuya- maapnoti Vayu Lokam cha gacchati/ (Maha Bharata extols the Mahatmya of Gautami River as the everlasting provider of Siddhis besides the maha phala of performing Raja suya Yagna and bestowing the Vayu Loka prapti). Brahma Purana explains further: Amritam Jahnavi toyam swarnamuchyate, Amritam gobhavam chaajyamamritam Soma yevacha, Gangaayaa vaarinaajyena hiranyena tathaiva cha, Sarvebhyopyaadhikam divyamaritam Goutami jala./ (It is stated that Ganges water is like gold, it is also said that pancha gavyas, Soma Yagnas are more valuable, but far more than Ganges water or gold, or even the pancha gavyas and Soma Yagnas,

Godavari water is the best Amritam ever). *Sapta Godavarim snaatwaa niyato niyataashanah, Maha punyamavaapnoti Devalokam cha gacchati/* (Those who bathe in and drink the waters of 'Sapta Godavari dhaaras'- comprising Vasishtha, Kaushiki, Vriddha Goutami, Goutami, Bharadwaaji, Atreyi and Tulya- are indeed blessed with Maha Punya and attain Deva Lokas).

Details of Gautami Ganga (Godavari River) and its magnificence are detailed in Brahma Purana in a full chapter as Maharshi Gautam was indeed responsible to have meditated intensely for several years and pleased the ever mediful Maha Deva to let the flows of the celestial water come down to Earth in the form of Godavari as narrated here under: As Bali Chakravarti's some of the Sankalpa Jala to donate the proverbial Three Feet to Vamana Deva fell on Shiva's jataajuta, there were too recipients of that Sacred Water on Earth viz. a Maharshi called Gautama and King Bhagiratha of Surya Vamsha. Thus Ganga from Shiva Jatajuta took two manifestations, one as Ganga and another as Gautami. While Bhagirathi Ganga's origin as was materialized by King Sagara's descendant Bhagiratha and his tenacious efforts by meditation to Vishnu, Ganga Devi and Parameswara was well described in various Puranas, detailed account was provided in Brahma Purana about Gautami Ganga or the Dakshina Ganga. When Gautama reached atop Kailasha Mountain, he extolled Parama Shiva and the latter was pleased with the Maharshi's Tapasya, Bhakti, Vrata and Stuti and gave Darshan to Gautama. As Mahadeva asked the Maharshi as to what was his wish, Gautama requested Bhagavan that a part of Ganga that was absorbed in Shiva jatajuta be please spared to fall on Brahmagiri so that in the interest of devotees who crave for a Sacred River, Ganga the Great Purifier should flow at least before enter the Sea and the Public would get a chance to sanitise themselves of their sins at least at that Place. Shive readily agreed to Gautami's request in Public interest in that Region and affirmed that Gautami Ganga would most certainly be a very popular and Sacred River; as the prayed to Parama Paavani Ganga to descend from Maha Deva's jataajuta, he first took her to wash Bhagavan Traimbeskeswara's feet and requested Bhagavan to prescribe the Puja Vidhi of Bhagavan. At the outset a devotee was required to perform Nandimukha Shraddha, satisfy Brahmanas with Bhojana Dakshinas, and take holy bath in Godavari, distribute Vastras and cash to Sadhus and the Poor and practice japa- homa- Puja as prescribed and thus complete the Tirtha Yatra with the Parama Manthra OM Namassivaaya with veneration and faith. Also perform Snaana and Puja at the Confluence Points of Trishna, Bhimarathi and Tungabhadra. Maha Deva blessed the sprawling Gautami and hailed it as his personal favourite with several names such as Maheswari, Ganga, Gautami, Vaishnavi, Godavari, Nanda, Sunanda, Kamadayani, Brahma Teja Samaaneeta and Sarva Paapa Pranashini. Brahma described to Narada Muni about various Sacred Tirthas that came up on the banks of the long Gautami Ganga: Vaaraahi Tirtha at Triamabaka Kshetra was the gift of Varaahaavatara of Vishnu who killed a Raakhasa named Sindhusena who defeated Indra and other Devas and obstructed the performance of Yagnas-the life line of Devas, the fruits of which were discarded in Rasatala; the blood of the Daityas, Danavas and Rakshasas headed by Sindhusena was washed in the Rasatala Ganga and Maha Yagnas were conducted again where Vaaraaha Titha was originated. Another Tirtha called Kushaavarta came to be formed in Triambaka to enable worship to Pitra Shraarthas and Tarpanas that emerged from Nilaparvatas in the Region popularly known as Nila Ganga. Kapota Tirtha had the back- ground of a hunter who was in the habit of killing several animals and caged many birds for his food daily; once he was caught badly in severe rain and rested under a Banyan Tree when he saw a male bird on the tree recognized a female bird in the hunter's net; as the male bird found that the hunter was shivering with cold and suffering the pangs of hunger. The female bird inside the net requested the male bird on the tree to collect figs and some fire from a distance by its beak holding a fig and thus producing a fig-lit fire to jump in and satisfy his hunger and warm up his body- shiver from the fire! The hunter was ashamed of his past killings and was taught a

lesson as he prayed to Mahadeva to absolve him of his past sins and converted himself as a saint eventually. Later on as he died, Bhagavan granted the Kapota, the Kapoti and the Hunter-converted as Saint and a Sacred Titha came up as a Symbol of Sacrifice by the Kapota birds and the penance of the Hunter! The Kapota Tirtha snaan is till date known as a Provider of Ashwamedha Yagna Phala and Salvation. The origin of *Dashaashwametha Tirtha* was that a King called Bhouvan desired to perform Ten Ashwamedha Yagnas simultaneously and engaged Kashyapa Muni for the purpose but there were some hurdles or other although tried many Tirthas like Prayaga and Kashyapa made an appeal to Brahma who recommended Gautami banks in Dakshina Bharata and finally succeeded performing the Ten Yagnaas side by side and after successful completion organized Anna daanaas to lakhs of poor persons and gave away Brahamana daanaas. It is stated that till date the Tirtha continued to be famed for Yagnas and Annadaanas and those who performed sacred bathings at the Tirtha would secure Yagna Phalas. The background of Paishacha Tirtha on the banks of Godavari related to Kesari the illustrious follower of Shri Ramaalong with other Vaanaraas of Kishkindha headed by Sugriva. Kesari had two wives viz. Anjana and Adri, both being Apsaras cursed by Indra to become a female monkey and a female cat respectively in the form of Mountains. But for their faces both the women had attractive physiques. As both the Devis approached Agastya Muni the latter blessed thm and Devi Anjana gave birth to Hanuman Deva with the blessings and Amsha of Vaayu Deva and Devi Adri gave birth to a King of Piscachaas with the blessings and of Nirruti Deva. The Paishacha Tirtha thus came to name and fame and not far from it known as Hanuma Tirtha and Vrishakapi Tirthaa which enjoyed considerable popularity as Hanuman had been a symbol of intrepidity, invincibility and unflinching loyalty who continued to be an Ever-living and legend in the Immortal Epic of Ramayana. Brahma affirmed that Pancha Tirtha was the Point of Confluence of his own progeney viz. Savitri, Gayatri, Shraddhaa, Medhaa and Saraswati and these were all connected to Bhagavati Ganga; snaanaas in Pancha Tirtha, followed by Pujas and Daanaas would fully relieve several problems and insurmountable difficulties are overcome as though those never existed. All along the banks of Gautami Ganga were dotted several Tirthas of renown due their association of Devas, human beings, Maharshis and of Rakshasaas, Apsaras, who were all the Great Devotees of the Almighty despite their erstwhile past or because of it. Such Tirthas included Kshudhaa Tirtha, Ahalya Tirtha, Ashva Tirtha, Bhanu Tirtha, Aruna-Varuna sangama, Garuda Tirtha, Govardhana Tirtha, Indra Tirtha, Rumna Vimochana Tirtha, Chakra / Dadhichi Muni Tirtha, Pancha Tirtha, Pururava Tirtha, Naga Tirtha, Maatru Tirtha, Avighna Tirtha, Sesha Tirtha, Shanaishchara Tirtha, Soma Tirtha, Dhanya Tirtha, Vidarbha Sangama and Revati Sangama Tirthas, Shri Rama Tirtha and so on. All these Tirthas provide multiple benefits of self-confidence, courage, knowledge and sin-demolishing. While the various Tirthas have been described as above in Brahma Purana, those mentioned in Maharashtra are identified include: Panchavati cluster or Rama Temples, Naroshankar Temple, Sundar Narayana Temple, Modakeshwara Temple, Gangeshwara Veda Mandir and Mukti dhaam Temple all in Nashik itself; besides Ekanatha Shrine in Paithan etc. In Andhra Pradesh, the Tirthas on the banks of Godavari are the famed Annavaram Satya Narayan a Temple, Dwaraka Tirumala, Draksha Rama, Kotilinga Pushkara, exclusive Shani Temple in Konaseema, Bhadrachala Rama Mandir etc.]

Sarga Twenty three: Khara then noticed dusshakunas like donkey brayings and squeaks of vultures from the sky, but having ignored these, Khara reaches Shri Rama 'ashrama'

Vishleshana on premonitions of death in general terms to humans sourced from Markandeya Purana:

'Arishtas' (premonitions) of death: Those persons who cannot identify Stars on the Sky of Dhruva, Shukra, Soma and Arundhati may face death within a year; who find Sun dim within eleven months; who find in their dreams the images of body rejects mixed with gold/silver would die within ten months; who witness Piscachas, Pretas, and Golden Trees would die within nine months; persons who are fat but become thin, and again fat, would die within eight months; those who witness a scene of getting their feet stuck in mud and after coming out of the slush with impressions of not being able to notice the above portion of the feet would die within seven months; a dream showing a picture of a Kite, dove, owl or a crow- all with blue colour- sitting on one's head would die within six months; those who see a row of crows and witness one's own body full of dirt due to the flight of the crows would die within four months; if a person witnesses a rainbow and lightning on the southern Sky in a cloudless night would die within a couple of months; a person whose body experiences the bad odours of a dead body or who cannot see his own reflection in ghee, oil, mirror and water would be dead within a month; if a person dreams that he has no head would die within a fortnight; those whose body and heart dry up soon after taking bath or feel thirsty immediately after taking large quantity of water would not last for more than ten days; if a person's breathing is uneven or he dreams that he is travelling in a boat full of monkeys and is singing or when a powerful monk is passing while laughing loud, then death is round the corner. Dreams of hair, fire, ash, serpents or dried up river; crooked nose, long ears, weeping left eye, a metallic face, black tongue, riding camels and donkeys bound to Southern direction, blinded eyes and deaf ears, upward eyesight, etc. are portends of early death.]

Sarga Thirty Nine: <u>Maarecha seeks to further convince Ravanaasura as</u> Mareecha enterered having assumed the form of a Maya Harina or a feigned deer

[Vishleshanaas as per Essence of Valmiki Bala Ramayana vide Sargas Twenty Nine and Seventy respectively on Bali Chakravarti and Nahusha respectively:

Bali Chakravarti:

Having been trained in all these disciplines, Vamana Deva had one fine morning left for the Yagna Shaala of Bali Chakravarti as the latter was executing a SacredYagna while carrying his mat, danda /stick, chhatra / umbrella and kamandulu / water vessel. Danava Guru Shukracharya was aware that Vishnu Deva in the form of Vamana Murti was arriving at the Yagna and briefed Bali Chakravarti to be extremely careful as Vishnu was a sauve and highly talented person to put words in the mouths of the opponents. The Guru reminded Chakravarti that the latter denied the age-old practice of rights to yagna's shares to Devataas and that Vamana Murti might as well ask for the revival of the practice but those shares were now enjoying by Danava Chiefs. Bali replied to Danava Guru that in case Vishnu in the incarnation of Vamana Murti came and requested for any thing then how could a King say 'no' to it! Bali told the Danava Guru: Brahmanaachaarya! How could I deny any body requesting me for a favour! And if that Supreme Deva asked me for a charity, then what else would be the alternative! While Parameswara received the fruits of Vrataas, Upavaasaas, and so on from one and all, and if that Parameswara himself asked a boon from me, could there be a greater fortune to me! When even an ordinary person approached me for a favour, then too that could not be denied by a King; then when Narayana himself asked for it, could such an opportunity presented itself, this chance could never indeed be missed. Even if there are difficulties in executing a charity, the value of charity would get multiplied and 'Veera purushaas' would never deter from performing the deed) Having said the above, Bali asked Shukraachaarya: YataginaatwaaMunisreshtha!Daanavighna karenamey, Naiva Bhavyam Jagannaathey Govidey samupastithey! (By understanding the above, Munisreshta! Please do not create 'Daana Vighnaas' or hurdles in the execution of the Charity!). As Vamana Deva arrived at the Yagna shaala, Bali welcomed him, offered 'Arghya', 'Aasana', Puja and offered him limitless gold, jewellery, elephants, horses, cows,

women, clothes, bunches of villages or townships or whatever would be his wish! Vamana Deva replied smilingly: Mamagnisharanaarthaaya dehi Rajan Padatrayam, Suvarnagraamaratnaadi tadarthibhyah pradeeyataam/ (Raja! Please provide to me three feet of land to enable me to set up an Agni- Shaala). Bali said that after all three feet would be nothing as he could ask for a lakh of feet which could be given away, but Vamana Deva replied that he was indeed satisfied with that much of Bhumi and if the King were to offer more he might as well provide to the other needy! Bali Chakravarti readily agreed not understanding the implication and as the deed of Daana was being executed and Vamana Deva extended his hand to the King and expanded his Vamana Rupa gradually immediately: Instantly, Vamana Murti displayed his Virat Swarupa: Chandra and Surya were his two Eyes, Shy was his head, Prithvi his feet, Pishachaas were his foot-fingers, Gruhyakaas were his hand fingers, Vishwa Deva Ganaas were in his jaanus /knees, Sadhyas were his janghaas, Yakshaas were his nails, Apsarsaas were his palm lines, Nakshatras were his Eye sight, Surya kiranas were his hairs, Stars were his body hairs, Maharshiganaas were in the hair roots, Vidishas were his hands, Dishaas were his ears, Ashwini Kumars were his faculty of hearing, Vayu was his nose, Chandra Deva was his joking faculty, Dharma Deva was his thinking capacity, Satya was his voice and Saraswati was his tongue, Deva Mata Aditi was his neck, Vidya was his valiyaas or long poles; Pushas were his eye brows, Swarga dwar was his anus, Vaishvanara his face, Prajapati his vrushanaas, Param Brahma was his heart, Kashyapa Muni was his Pumstwa, Vasu Devata was his back, Marutganaas were his Sandhis, Rudra was his Vakshasthala, Mahaarnavaa was his Dhairya, Gangharvas were in his stomach; Lakshmi, Medha, Dhruti, Kaanti and all Vidyaas were in his 'Kati Pradesha'; the luster and radiance in the total Universe as also the Tapo teja or the power of meditation was the reflection of the magnificence of Natayana; Vedas and Sciptures and the huge Yagnaas and the Sacred Deeds of the Virtuous like Maharshis and Brahmanas were all inside in his 'kukshi' or belly. On viewing the Paramatma's 'Virat Swarupa', the so called 'Mahaasuraas' referred to earlier in ignorance by Chakravarti Bali before Prahlada's curse to him got burnt off like flies before a gigantic out berak of Fire! Having thus occupied the Universe in totality including the sub-terrain Sapta Paatalaas, Vamana Deva stated that since Bali took the water in his hand and donated the THREE FEET of Land, and blessed him to be the King of the Sapta Paatalaas and granted him long life till the end of Manvantara of the on-going Vaisawata Manu. He also blessed Bali that all the 'Homa Phalas' at the time of Shraddhas to be performed even by Brahmanas, besides incomplete and defective Vratas, Agni Kaaryaas without ghee, and Kusha grass roots as also the daanas without detachment would belong to Bali and his followers.

Nahusha:

Nahusha who was also in the lineage of Pururava had the distinction of peforming ninety nine Ashwamedha Yagnas and was nearly qualified to become Indra who should have executed hundred Yagnas. Meanwhile there was a temoporary vacancy of Indratwa since Indra fled away since he killed Vritrasura with the help of the Vajrayudha made out of Sage Dadhichis's backbone; Vritrasura who was a Brahmana by birth and Brahma Hatya Sin chased Indra. Brahma thus appointed Nahusha as temporary Indra. Nahusha who was originally a King of Great Virtue bacame arrogant and power-mongering as he became Indra and claimed all the privileges belonging to Indra like Vajrayudha, Iravata the Elephant and even Indra's wife Sachi Devi. Nahusha insisted that Sachi Devi be his keep! Sachi Devi was non-plussed at this proposal. As advised by Deva Guru Brihaspati, she asked Nahusha to come to her residence but he should do so just as Indra was in the habit of arriving at her residence by a Palki (Palanquin) which actually was carried by Maharshis. Nahusha was excited to reach her Palace quickly and having got into the palanquin commanded Agastya Muni to reach him to Sachi Devi's Place at once; he said 'Sarpa Sarpa' meaning 'Quick, Quick' and in the process gave a kick to the Muni to go fast. Asgastya purposively misunderstood the word and converted the arrogant Nahusha as an Ajagara (Python) and dropped the latter to the depths of Bhuloka into thick forests. As a repentant Nahusha begged of clemency, the Maharshi granted a reprieve that the 'Shaapa Vimochana' would be possible only when Pandavas reached the forest for twelve long years before their 'Ajnaata Vasa' or Unknown Destiny having lost a bet in the 'Maya Juda' or wilful game of chess. As Draupadi desired to secure a Sugandhika

Flower Bheema got into a pond and the Ajagara caught him and agreed to release him only if he gave correct replies to the Serpent's queries. Yudhishtara had to arrive and release Bhima and Nahusha alike. Meanwhile Brihaspati and Agastya found that Indra was hiding in a lotus stem in Mana Sarovara Lake and brought him back and prayed to Brahma who exonerated Nahusha from the Brahma Hatya Sin on the ground that Vitra was no boubt a Brahmana but committed sins of killing several virtuous and innocents]

Sarga Forty Eighty: Ravanasura explains his own background and valor and Devi Sita ignores and discounts

[Vishleshana on Shachi Devi and Indra:

Shachi Devi was the daughter of the Asura King Pouloma who was no doubt religious but of negative abhichara mantras under the tutelage of Shukraacharya. Prajapati Visvakarma, the famed Architect of Devas, had a son named Trisira or the three headed Brahmana boy who used to practise ascetism with one head, drink wine with another and look around in all directions with the third. Being an ardent student of Vedas, he was always engaged in severe Tapasya, especially 'Panchagni Sadhana' hanging upside down a tree branch exposed to Summer Sun, winter cold and heavy rainy season without food conquering worldly desires. Being highly suspicious of the intentions of Trisira who might pose problem his own throne, Indra despatched Apsarasas to disturb Trisira's rigorous meditation but to no avail. Indra thus killed him even when he was in meditation, even as he knew that killing a pious Brahmana in meditation was the highest possible sin. Furious with Indra's dreadful deed, Visvakarma performed an inexorable Sacrifice by 'Abhichara' process (taking revenge) reciting Atharva Veda Mantras, created a mountain like and ferocious boy with the sole objective of killing Indra. The huge boy was named Vritra or who could save his father as Vrinjina. Visvakarma equipped him with all kinds of war tactics and divine armoury including a swift and sturdy Chariot, a 'Sudarshan' like Disc, and a 'Trisula' like spear. As Vritra grew, Indra was getting nervous and approached Deva Guru to prevent any risk from the Demon. Brihaspati warned Indra that he should better be prepared for a Big Battle as the forebodings were not conducive, as after all Indra had committed a heinous crime of killing a Brahmana out of pride and fear. Vritrasura was the abled commander in chief and desired to marry Shachi Devi, but Shachi did not rfeciprocate as she felt that he was a servant of her father. As insulted Vritraasura decided to take revenge by marrying her. Meanwhile Indra begged of Maha Muni Dadheechi to spare his backbone and with the skills of Vishvakarma made Vajrayudha the thunderbolt with which Vritrasura was killed and as an act of vengence married Shachi Devi whom Vritraasura was madly in love with. Under such circumstances, Shachi Devi readily consented to marry as Indra's 'Patta Mahishi' or the Prime Queen . But smitten by the sin of 'brahmana hatya', Indra hid himself in a lotus stem in a pond at Manasasarovara and the title of Indratva was rewarded by King Nahusha. Nahusha claimed Shachi Devi too. Assited by Vishvakarma as prompted by Devi Bhagavati, Shachi Devi helped recover Indra from the lotus stem and Indra got reappointed by Brahma Deva since the brahma hatya dosha was negatived due to long penance in the lotus stem. Nahusha got punished due to his audacity of claiming Shachi Devi and became a brahma rakshasa till the times of Maha Bharata in dwapara yuga.]

Sarga Sixty One: Shri Rama and Lakshmanas got intensely frustrated with their extensive search for Devi Sita

[Vishleshana on Vamana Deva and Bali Charavarti for ready reference vide Essence of Valmiki Baala Ramayana:

As Vamana Deva arrived at the Yagna shaala, Bali welcomed him, offered 'Arghya', 'Aasana', Puja and offered him limitless gold, jewellery, elephants, horses, cows, women, clothes, bunches of villages or townships or whatever would be his wish! Vamana Deva replied smilingly: *Mamagnisharanaarthaaya*

dehi Rajan Padatrayam, Suvarnagraamaratnaadi tadarthibhyah pradeeyataam/ (Raja! Please provide to me three feet of land to enable me to set up an Agni- Shaala). Bali said that after all three feet would be nothing as he could ask for a lakh of feet which could be given away, but Vamana Deva replied that he was indeed satisfied with that much of Bhumi and if the King were to offer more he might as well provide to the other needy! Bali Chakravarti readily agreed not understanding the implication and as the deed of Daana was being executed and Vamana Deva extended his hand to the King and expanded his Vamana Rupa gradually. Instantly, Vamana Murti displayed his Virat Swarupa: Chandra and Surya were his two Eyes, Shy was his head, Prithvi his feet, Pishachaas were his foot-fingers, Gruhyakaas were his hand fingers, Vishwa Deva Ganaas were in his jaanus /knees,Sadhyas were his janghaas, Yakshaas were his nails, Apsarsaas were his palm lines, Nakshatras were his Eye sight, Surya kiranas were his hairs, Stars were his body hairs, Maharshiganaas were in the hair roots, Vidishas were his hands, Dishaas were his ears, Ashwini Kumars were his faculty of hearing, Vayu was his nose, Chandra Deva was his joking faculty, Dharma Deva was his thinking capacity, Satya was his voice and Saraswati was his tongue, Deva Mata Aditi was his neck, Vidya was his valiyaas or long poles; Pushas were his eye brows, Swarga dwar was his anus, Vaishvanara his face, Prajapati his vrushanaas, Param Brahma was his heart, Kashvapa Muni was his Pumstwa, Vasu Devata was his back, Marutganaas were his Sandhis, Rudra was his Vakshasthala, Mahaarnavaa was his Dhairya, Gangharvas were in his stomach; Lakshmi, Medha, Dhruti, Kaanti and all Vidyaas were in his 'Kati Pradesha'; the luster and radiance in the total Universe as also the Tapo teja or the power of meditation was the reflection of the magnificence of Natayana; Vedas and Sciptures and the huge Yagnaas and the Sacred Deeds of the Virtuous like Maharshis and Brahmanas were all inside in his 'kukshi' or belly. On viewing the Paramatma's 'Virat Swarupa', the so called 'Mahaasuraas' referred to earlier in ignorance by Chakravarti Bali before Prahlada's curse to him got burnt off like flies before a gigantic out berak of Fire! Having thus occupied the Universe in totality including the sub-terrain Sapta Paatalaas, Vamana Deva stated that since Bali took the water in his hand and donated the THREE FEET of Land, and blessed him to be the King of the Sapta Paatalaas and granted him long life till the and of Manvantara of the on-going Vaisawata Manu.]

Sarga Sixty Two: Rama's anguish - his sustained efforts with Lakshmna- following Maya Mriga's southern direction- recognising fallen Sitas's dried up flowers and ornaments- and signs of a recently fought battle!

Vishleshana on Tripuraasura Vijaya from i) Linga Purana-ii) Ganesha Purana

i) Linga Purana:

As Devas and Vishnu visioned 'Trishulapaani Shankar' relaxing with Devi Parvati and Mahatma Nandi, they saw that 'Bhuta bhavishya Swami' whose eyes were red like 'Agni kundas' and physique was shimmering with thousand Suns with a pleasant countenance ornamented with a Bala Purna Chandra. Having pleased Parama Shiva, Devas explained the gravity and seriousness of the crisis created by the Tripura Daityas who not only unseated and tormented Devas and Celestial Entities but were also sending shock-waves all over the Universe, humiliating Sages, frightening women and children, making mass-scale carnage and blood bath of humanity and uprooting Dharma and age-old Values and Principles. Parameshwara infused confidence into the demoralised Devas and asked them to construct an exceptional chariot with unique specifications: Prithvi as the Ratha / Chariot, Meru and Mandara Mountains as axles, Surya and Chandra as Chakras made of gold and silver respectively, the Four Vedas of Ruk-Yajur-Sama and Atharva acted as the horses; Shukra, Brihaspati, Budha, Mangal, and Shanaischara seated on the Ratha ready to charge; the famous serpents viz. Takshaka, Karkotaka, Dhanajaya and Padmadwaya acted as the strings which were tied to the horses; most poisonous snakes like Surasa, Devashuni, Sarama, Kadru, Vinata, Shuchi, Trusha, and Bubhuksha were used as arrows; Mrutyu, Brahmahatya, Gohatya,

Balahatya and Prajaabhaya were loaded on the Chariot so that they get activised as maces; Omkara and Vashatkara were the symbols on the Ratha; Sinivali, Kuhu, Raaka and Anumati - the 'Adhishtana'/ in charge Deities of Chaturdashi, Amavasya, Suddha Purnima, Pratipadika Purnima respectively were used as auxiliary strings to the horses; the dhanush made of six 'ritus'/ seasons which is safeguarded by Devi Ambika herself never to be broken; the specific arrow with which to kill the Tripurasura was strengthened by Vishnu, Soma and Agni and its head propelled by Agni and Chandra by its rear and Vishnu Maya smeared all over; and the extreme poison of Nagaraja Vasuki was loaded to ensure stability and speed of the arrow; Vayu was made in charge of the high velocity of the Chariot and finally Brahma was the Charioteer and Sesha Naag was made in charge of the personal security of Brahma as also of the Chariot. Yama Raja with his buffalo, Kubera on his serpent, Indra on Iravata, Ganeswara by his Mushika Vahana, Karikeya on his Peacock, Nandeshwara with his Shula running behind and sides of the Ratha were in full preparedness. Maharshis Bhrigu, Bharadwaja, Vasishtha, Goutama, Kratu, Pulastya, Pulaha, Marichi, Atri, Angira, Parashara, and Agastya were there too at the kick-start of the Battle to recite Veda Vachanas and Shiv Stutis. The Pramatha ganas were ready to charge as the army against the opponents- all swarmed around the Rath. Meanwhile, Sage Narada reached the Tripuras and tried his best to mend his ways, give back Indrapuri to Devas and avoid the worst ever battle in which the indestructible Tripuras would be destroyed along with the Three Demons as Maha Deva himself was approaching these Places with full preparation. Instead of talking peace, the Demons alerted their vast armies, and prepared for turning their defensive positions to that of an offence. On the instruction of Shankara Deva, Indra took his enormous army and attacked Tripura. As the Deva Sena made a highly offensive assault in full force, what with the revenge and frustration experienced by them for long as they were out of power as also owing to the excellent backing of Maheswara, they seized the best part of Tripuras. While quite a few Danavas sought to escape for their lives through the exit gates of Tripuras, Pramatha ganas calculated that the enemies would try to sneek out at those points and buchered thousands of Danavas. The remaining Danavas inside the Trinagaris were utterly confused by contradictoy shouts that Taraka died or Shiva was defeated. In that melee, a strong contingent of Danavas quickly regrouped their men and material to make offensive attacks under the leadership of Vidyunmali and Maya. Ganeswara divided Tripuras in three regions as Nandeswara was attacking Vidyunmali, while he was in position against Maya. Meanwhile, Vidyunmali threw a 'Parigha' on Nandi who was hurt and the enraged three 'Parshadaganas' named Ghantaakarna, Shankukarna and Mahakaal retaliated; they assumed the Forms of Ganeswara and assailed Vidyunmali by making the roars of lions. Even while the Parswaganas were about to leap on Vidyunmali, the hurt Nandikeswara hurled a Rudra Shakti on the demon who fell down like a mountain. There was utter silence among Danavas who were stunned and retreated. But, the highly cunning and crafty Mayasura chased the Ganas of Ganeshwara to divert attention of his own men from the fallen Vidyunmali to the Ganesha ganas. Mayasura created rains of Agni, crocodiles, snakes, huge mountains, lions, tigers, trees, black deers, eight-legged 'Sharabhas' / a species of oversized deer, torrential rain and powerful sand storms. As Taraka came into the battle field, Devas too appeared in full force, including Yamaraja, Varuna, Bhaskara, Kartikeya heading a Deva Sena of a Crore, with Indra, Shanaishchara, Chandra, and Rudras. The 'Maayavi' Mayaasura created several Wells full of herbal juices for envigoration and Danavas were in high spirits as their body strength increased manifold. But Keshava took the form of 'Vrishabha' and drank up the juice along with Devas and dried up the wells and Devas occupied the Tripuras finally. Mayasura and other Daityas were forced to hide in the Sea. That was the decisive moment when there was an all-out battle on the seashores. Shankara divided the 'Tridevamaya' arrow into three parts and released it at the Pushya Yoga time when Tripuras were destroyed in one go. Devas then went ecsatic and the huge shouts of Victory to Maha Deva resounded across the Sky from where Gandharvas and Kinnaras sang hymns of praises, Apsaras danced and Maharshis recited Vedas and Shiva Stotras. Brahma praised Parama Shiva in a chorus.

ii) Ganesha Purana:

<u>Tripurasura performs severe tapasya to Brahma Deva who directed to invoke Ganesha- The pleased Ganesha and grants ability to control three lokas, Brahma-Vishnu- Shiva Lokas too.</u>Brahma directed

Tripurasura to construct a Ganesha Temple by installing a Ganesha Pratima made of Kashmira stones. The Asura then built Ganeshapura in the state of Assam in Bharata Desha and picked up popularity as Tripura sthaana. The Asura then invoked Ganesha with Veda Mantras, as the Lord was pleased with the unpecedented devotion of Tripurasura and granted the boon of Trailokyaadhipatya as also the control of Brahma Loka- Vaikuntha and even of Kailasa! Having instantly occupied Bhuloka with no resistence, imprisoned all the Tapasvis, spread hatred for Svaahaakara-Svadhaakaara- Vashtkaara, Vedaadhyayana and Sadaachaara; he appointed Bhimakaaya Daitya as the Governer in Bhu loka. He brought Pataladi Seven Lokas of Atala-Vitala-Sutala-Rasaatala-Talaatala-Mahatala and Patala too, bodily enjoyed Naga kanyas; he appointed Vajradanta daitya as the Governor for local administration. Then he attacked Svarga loka and subued Indra. Tripusaasura then proceeded to Brahma Loka and even before his awareness, Brahma hid himself insider the lotus stalk that emerged from the Vishnu naabhi and having imprisoned Tapasvis. Vaikuntha was the next target where Vishnu Deva who was conveniently absent there. Tripurasura then appointed Chanda and Prachanda- his manasa putras as his chiefs in Brahma and Vishnu Lokas respectively. He proceeded to Kailasa Mountain and by the his own 'baahu bala' or the strength of his own hands shook the mountain and made it mobile! Devi Parvati embraced Lord Shiva out of awe and wonder. Shiva confronted the asura and asked as to what would he like to do. The Asura asked Shiva to donate the Kailasa Mountain so that he would be free for riding the mountain'; Maha Deva smiled and thought that after all the Asura was short lived and agreed and as such moved out of the Mountain along with Pramadha Ganas, Devi Parvati and the Temple there atop too. Then Maha Ganesha assumed the form of a Dvija named Kalaadhara and comlplimented Tripuraasura for his magnificent accomplishments of life which never heard of in the past-present or future! The Asura enquired of the Vidvan as what was his specialisation since he called himself a vidvan. Kaladhara replied: Pareshaam sampadam drushtvaa kim syaattama Suradvisha, vinaayaatte prasannoham kalayaa te dadaami vai/ Kaancham raajatam loham Tripuram shara samdhitam, rama tatra sthirayo Daitya chirakaalam yathaa sukham/ Abhedayam devagandharvairmaanushairuragairapi, kalpitaarthapradam tattai kaamagam kaamadam shubham/ Asura! Of what avail could be the wealth of Lokas and their temporary commandership. I am offering you three permanent Tri Puras made of gold-silver and steel. This should bestow permanent Lordship to the three puras for lasting sukha prapti for your total content-ment. These Three Puras are indestructible by Deva-Gandharva-Manushyas and as such your life as also that of your followers ought to be a lasting sailing on the flows of bliss! So asserting and handing over the three arrows with which to attack even Parama Shiva while utilising three arrows! Tripurasura was fully submerged in Ganesha Maya thus! Then Tripurasura then gave return gifts to Kaladhara viz. ten villages, cows, high value vastras, and jewellery. As Kaladhara left for his ashram, Tripurasara still felt that the gifts given to the Brahmana notwithstanding, a more precious gift ought to be given to him for the Tripuras made of gold-silver-metal with which to attack even Paramashiva. He declared to the Brahmana: Shankaram kinkaram manye na cha devataah, aanayitvaa pradasyaami taam Murtim dvijapungava/Brahmanaagra! I am of the strong faith and belief that Shankara is the singular Parama Deva unparalleled. And I shall soon gift you such a Chintamani Ganesha Murti which Shiva himself had been venerating! As Brahmana Kaladhara, as Ganesah himself in the form of left the fortress of Tripurasura, the Asura sent his 'chaturangani' soldiers by walk-horsebacks-elephants and warring -fit chariots to bring the idol of Chintamani Ganesha from Kailasa. There followed a severe battle of the Asura sena with Pramatha ganas of Shiva sena. As the asurasena was unable to resist the defence of Shiva ganas, Tripuraasura himself reached and challenged Shiva himself. Even as the soldiers of Tripura were shattered, the asura utilised vaarunastra and Shiva retaliated by using vaayavyaastra; in further relalliation the asura made the prayoga of agneyaastra while Shiva utilised parjanyaastra but as a result of the preceeding agneyastras emerged a sky high vikruta svarupa purusha and Shiva sena fled away out of fright for life. Meanwhile Devi Parvati who was closely following the proceedings of the battle got worried and left for the solace of her father Himavanta. Kartikeya who accompanied Shiva to the battle front as well as Shiva himself were worried about the safety of Devi Parvati and thus concluded the battle. Meanwhile instead of chasing Shiva sena got wise and decided to somehow steal the Idol of Chintaamani Ganesha from the Temple and retreated.

A brooding Parama Shiva looked back at the just concluded high drama and the resultant loss of Chintamani Ganesha idol which was worshipped by the self, Brahmarshi Narada appeared on the scene and Shiva gave a review of the just concluded events. Narada warmed up Maha Deva by revealing the magnificence of the former: Maha Deva! You are Sarvgjna, Sarva Vidya Swaami, Sarveshvara, Sarvakarta, Sarvamukha swarupi, Sarvaharta, Sarva niyanta, Sarva samardha, Shadaishvarya sampanna [viz. Yuddha praveenata, Sarva netra, Trupti, Adyantarahita, Aluptashakti, Swatantrata, and Ananta Shakti are the Shadaishwaryas as given in Shiva and Kurma Puranas]. Yet, You had not performed Ganesha Puja formally and hence this present defeat with Tripurasura! If only you disallow the free movement of Tripuraasura among the three cities of TRI PURA by using a single arrow unified into one single arrow, Mahishasura's extermination would be possible and you should win the battle hands down! As advised as per Narada, Maheshwara meditated Ganesha for hundred years and the laatter responded with his darshan with Pancha Mukhas representing Pancha Bhutas of Bhumi-Water-Agni-Air-and Sky as also Pancha Tanmatras of Rasa-Rupa- Gandha- Sparsha-Shabdas, Pancha Jnaanendriyas and Pancha Karmendriyas besides the creation of Gandharva-Yaksha-Pitara-Manushya-Devarshi- Deva Gana-Brahma-Indra-Rudra- Vasu-Sadhya and Charaachara Jeevas, besides Trigunas of Satvika-Raajasika-Taamasika gunas and Srishthi- Sthiti-Samhaara-Tirodhaanas of Kaala maana! Maha Ganesha was pleased and bestowed the Maha Mantra 'GA' to Shiva; He assured that with this Maha Mantra, Shiva should be able to destroy the Tripuraasura!

Sargas Sixty Three and Sixty Four: <u>Lakshmana seeks to cool down the unbelievable</u> rage and anger and recounts the fundamenatal features of self restraint while getting ready to display his <u>outstanding bravery in human like and Gods like battle!</u>

- 1.[Ref Essence of Valmiki Ayodhya Ramayana-Sarga Twelve on Yayati-Yadu-Puru]
- 2. Vishleshana vide Bhagavad Gita is quoted in this context

[Ref Essence of Valmiki Ayodhya Ramayana-Sarga Twelve: Yayati, the son of Nahusha and his wife Viraja, was a famed Emperor who defeated all the Kings of the World and married Devayani the daughter of Asura Guru Shukracharya, besides Sharmishtha the daughter of Vishvaparva, a Rakshasa King. Indra was pleased to gift Yayati a Divine Chariot with seven powerful horses with which he traversed the world and divided his Empire into seven divisions to distribute it among five of his sons. A Maharshi gave a boon that if any of his sons could agree to exchange their youth to his old age then he could secure a fresh lease of youth. His eldest son Yadu from Devayani refused and so did others excepting Sharmishtha's son Puru who readily agreed. Yayati took over Puru's youth and enabled him travel around to unravel earthly pleasures for long. But finally returned discovering that the ephemeral joys of the world were endless like Agni in a Homa kunda assuming larger and larger proportions as long as ghee is served and no human would be satisfied with food, gold, ornaments or women. By so realising, he returned his youth to Puru and took to Vanaprastha or retirement. That was how he slipped down from the experiences of swarga but descended down into the company of 'Saadhu Pungavas' or of Groups of Virtue and Enlightment!]

Maharṣayo vasiṣṭhas tu yaḥ pitur naḥ purohitaḥ, ahnā putraśataṁ jajñe tathaivāsya punar hatam/ Rama! Did not our dear late father's Kula Purohita Maharshi Vasishtha had lost his hundred sons in the hands of Brahmarshi Vishvamitra!

[Ref Essence of Valmiki Bala Ramayana Sargas Fifty Nine and Sixty as follows:

Shatananda Maharshi addressing Rama Lakshmanas continued that Vishvamitra took pity on the King Trishanku in the form of chandala and gave an assurance that he should most certainly reach swarga with his mortal body. Then he instructed his disciples to collect and arrange for the required material for yagjna kaarya. He further asked them to invite co-brahmanas to join the yagjna including Vasishtha kumaras who

heckled Trishanku and cursed him to become a chandala. Vishvamitra shisyaas likewise invited all, but Vasishtha Sishyaas were reported to have stated angrily as follows: ksatriyo yājako yasya candālasya viśesatah, katham sadasi bhoktāro havis tasya surarşayah/ brāhmaṇā vā mahātmāno bhuktvā candālabhojanam, katham svargam gamişyanti viśvāmitreņa pālitāļ/ 'A Chandala desires to perform the yagina and a Kshatriya would be the Aacharya. In such yagina, how could pure brahmanas consume the 'havishaanna'! Be that as it may, how indeed a kshatriya turned chandala be despatched to swarga by another kshatriya turned brahmana, that too with the chandaala's mortal body'!' Having heard this insinuating remarks of Vasishtha Kumaras, Vishvamitra fumed like fire and declared: yad dūṣayanty adustam mām tapa ugram samāsthitam, bhasmībhūtā durātmāno bhavisyanti na samśayah/ I am right now in severe tapasya and am expected to be peaceful without anger and such mental aberrations; yet I am constrained to say that whosoever evil minded invitees to my yagnja talked disparagingly about me and the yagina being proposed be surely be converted as heaps of human ash sooner or later; further in their following births, they should be born as chandalas and roam around begging with frightening forms. Having stated thus Vishvamitra could state nothing more and kept quiet! Shatananda Muni continued his narration to Rama Lakshmanas about the subdued anger against Vasishtha Kumaras and addressed on his introductory speech to the Sages who arrived in response to his yagjnya karya with the express objective of despatching Ikshvaku Raja Trishanku to swarga with the latter's mortal body. Then the Munis at the conference grouped together that Maharshi Vishvamitra was a known and learned Sage but a highly volatile and angry person and hence what ever he directed by dutifully executed without doubls and hesitations. Thereafter the yagna commenced and Vishvamitra was the 'Atharvyu' the pricipal initiator-conductor of the yagina. As the 'havishaanna' was offered to respective Devatas, none of the Devas turned up to accept. Then the fuming Vishvamitra yelled in great anger: paśya me tapaso vīryam svārjitasya nareśvara, eşa tvām svaśarīrena nayāmi svargam ojasā/ dusprāpam svasarīrena divam gaccha narādhipa, svārjitam kim cid apy asti mayā hi tapasah phalam, rājams tvam tejasā tasya saśarīro divam vraja/ Nareshvara Trishanku! Now you must vision the mighty outcome of my life long tapasya and now get ready to leave for swarga with your mortal body! Then Shatananda exclaimed to Rama Lakshmanas that King Trishanku had actually reached swarga with his mortal body! devalokagatam drstvā trišankum pākaśāsanah,saha sarvaih suragaņair idam vacanam abravīt/ triśanko gaccha bhūyas tvam nāsi svargakṛtālayah, guruśāpahato mūdha pata bhūmim avākśirāḥ/ evam ukto mahendreṇa triśankur apatat punaḥ, vikrośamānas trāhīti viśvāmitram tapodhanam/ tac chrutvā vacanam tasya krośamānasya kauśikah, rosam āhārayat tīvram tistha tistheti cābravīt/ As Trishanku had literally reached swarga, he visioned Mahendra seated along with various Devatas. Indra got shocked and furious shouting that there would never ever be a place in swarga and kicked him down. Trishanku yelled 'traahi traahi' in utter desperation while rapidly slipping down the thick clouds. Vishvamitra shouted at Trishanku with hysterics and commanded him to stay pur right there. The Vishvamitra looked up at the Rishimandala on the high skies and materialised Sapta Rishis and brand new nakshatras and declared angrily: Anyamindram karishyaami loko vaayasyaadanindrakah, daivataanyami sa krodhaat srashtam samupachakrame/ I will rather create another Indra or a new swarga loka without Indra! So saying with assertion Vishmamitra manifested fresh devataas! As the Maha Muni so decided: down on earth, samasta deva-asura-rishi groups made an appeal politely: ayam rājā mahābhāga guruśāpapariksatah, saśarīro divam vātum nārhaty eva tapodhana/ Maharshi Vishwamitra! King Trishanku was cursed by Guru Putras to assume 'chandalatva' and as such not qualified to attain swarga as a mortal. Vishvamitra retalliated to say that his statements and decisions should not be falsified ever! Therefore: Maha Raja Trishanku should hereafter enjoy the pleasures of swarga loka for ever; I have already manifested fresh nakshatra mandali for ever till pralaya; like wise the totality of divine material elsewhere too would exist in tact. May this parallel arrangement be in position without

disturbance.!' The Munis collected at the Visvhamitra Yagjna was greatly surprised at the unforgettable happenings and truly admired the outstanding ability in creating a new swarga itself on the mid skies!] [Vishleshana vide Bhagavad Gita is quoted in this context:

Duhkeshvanudvignamanaah sukheshu vigataspruhah, veetaraaga bhaya krodhah sthitadheermuniruchyate/Getting terribly agitated while facing insurmountable impediments and getting extremely overjoyed by very joyous experiences is the negation of an equanimous mind and the ability to neutralise the emotions. One's capacity to neutralise the inner emotions of pleasures and pains alike is the State of 'Sthitapaginantva'! Sorrows and joys are the consequences of discontent and of success. The vicious circle of discontentment leads to disappointment which itches on the fear of failure. This creates irritability, fear, anguish, anger, and back to dissatisfaction of life. Sadhakas realise that without Shiva's approval even an ant or insect would not do harm. And 'Shiyaagina' is on account of one's own doings of the previous births and of the ongoing one, besides the estimated future foretellings too. The Karma Sutra explains: Avashyamanubhoktavyam sthitam karma shubhamashubham/ or our own 'karma phala' or the sweetness or sourness of the fruit is reciprocated. That firm belief of hope or disappointment as the case that may be, is the 'Atma Swarupa' which certainly not is the body but the Self Consciouness of the concerned body which is clean and transparent and indestructible and eternal. Dhaayato Vishayaan Pumsah sangasteshoopajaayate, sangaatsanjaayate kaamah kaamaat krodhobhi jaayate, sangaatsanjaayate kaamah kaamaat krodhobhijaayate/Krodhaadbhavati sammohah sammohat smriti vibhramah, smriti bhramshaah buddhi naashah buddhi naashaat pranashyati/Every human being is subject to desires; if the desires are not fulfilled, there would be disappointment and eventual frustration; the resultant grief develops anguish and instability of mind; this further shapes up as anger coupled with wrong judgment and discretion which results in further failures! Such is the impact of the proverbial 'arishad vargas' or the six ememies of human beings viz. Kaama krodha lobha moha mada matsaras or excessive desires, anger, selfishness and avarice, infatuation, ego and jealousy. Raaga dvesha niyuktaistu vishaanindriyaischaran, aatmavashyarvidheyaatmaa prasaadamadhigacchati/ Prasaade sarva duhkhaanaam haani rasyopajaayate, prasanna chetasohyaashu buddhih parya patishthate/ If one is able to control desires and dislikes, then there can be regulation of mind and least disturbance of peace. [Kathopanishad vide I.iii.3-4 states: Aatmaanam rathinam vidhuh, shareeram rathameva tu , buddhim tu saarathim viddhi, manah pragrahamevacha/ Indriyaani hayaanaahu vishaayamsteshu gocharam, ateendriya mano yuktam bhokteetyaahur maneeshinaam/ This Individual Self is denoted as the Master of the Chariot, body is the chariot, charioteer is the 'buddhi' or the Intellect / Mind the bridle. The Pancha Indriyas are the horses viz. the Pancha Karmendriyas ie.the eyes-ears- mouth-nose-reproductive cum excretionary organs and Pancha Jnenendriyas of seeing-hearing-eating- breathing and the concerned of the last afore said. Besides, material objects are the roads as countless. Those who understand these details are called the Self and the latter has the body adjuncts and the mind)] Prasaade sarva duhkhaanaam haanirasyopajaayate prasanna chetasohyaashu buddhih paryapatishthate/ Peace of Mind could be routinised even as one goes on a feee spree of fulfilling desires of life yet within one's mental control. But once 'chitta shuddhi' or the purity of conscience is tarnished and 'indriya nigraha' or control of senses is lost then the mental bridle gets tilted off.]

Sarga Sixty Six: Shri Rama performs the 'dahana samskaara' of Jatayu [Vishleshana on Dahana samskara for human beings is explained vide Sarga 76 of Essence of Valmiki Ayodhya Ramayana.]

[Vishleshana on Dahana samskara for human beings is vividly explained vide Sarga Seventy Six of Essence of Valmiki Ayodhya Ramayana: 'You the Pretaatma' as enclosed with the 'kavacha' or the shield of Agni Deva who is merely turning only your body parts to ashes but not your true self whish indeed is everlasting. Hence Agni is merely clearing the mess of your body! Agni Deva! you may consume the deadbody along with his heart, pancha koshas or Five Sheaths of the body called Annamaya (Physical

Energy), Praanamaya (Vital Energy), Manomaya (Mental Faculty), Vigyanamaya (Buddhi or Sharpness of Discrimination) and Ananda maya (Bliss) only but thereafter kindly despatch the 'Jeevatma'- Inner Being- safely to the Loka of His forefathers the Pitru Loka. Agni Deva, when you render the jeevatma fully rid of the memories of the erstwhile life, then That becomes rendered fit with a fresh form subject to the will of Devas. Preta swarupa! Let your vision see Surya Deva, your breath to Vayu Deva! As per your destiny and the fund of your 'sukrita phala', you may reach swarga, or back to earth or waters. In case you are destined to return as vegetation, then you shall do precisely the same swarupa once again.- Rig Veda 10-16.-3. Referring to the stanza: Suryam chakshurgacchatu vaatamaatmaa, dyocha gaccha prithiveem cha dharmanaa, apo vaa gaccha yaditram te hitam, oushadheeshu pratrim tishthaa shareerereh/ as explained, Chhandogya Upanishad 5.10.6 explains: Abhram bhutwaa megho bhavati megho bhutwaa pravarshati taiha veehiyavaa oshadhivanaspatyah tila-maasha iti jaayant, ato vai khalu durnispra pataram, yo yohyannam atti yo retaah sinchati, tad bhuya eva bhavati/(In the further travel of the Soul from white clouds to thick black clouds to rains, the same is born as paddy, barley, herbs, sesmum, black pulses and so on. Now, the release of the concerned paddy or pulse is also destined as per the time of its release from the shell to kernel; similarly the cycle of food intake from an insect to a bird or to a reptile to an animal or human being is destined likewise). The next stanzas 6.1.22 -23: Ajobhaaga stapasa tam tapasva-- and Ayam vai tvamsmaadabhi/ are as addressed to Jaataveda: 'Agni Deva! having burnt off the body totally, may the physical aspects of the human being been burnt off totally, may the subtle body as the Jeevatma be carried to the wide world of the Devas of virtuel

Sarga Seventy: As Kabandha Rakshas's mortal remains secured 'daah samskara' by Rama Lakshmanas, his celestial form reveals details of Ravana vs Sita and advises Rama's friendship with the exiled Vaanara King Sugriva

[Vishleshana on Neeti Chandrika in Telugu language as transated into English as the Essence of Neeti Chandrika vide the website of kamakoti.org . - [Brief Vishleshana of Vaali-Sugrivas

[Vishleshana on Neeti Chandrika in Telugu language as transated into English as the Essence of Neeti Chandrika vide the website of kamakoti.org . It affirms : Mitra Laabha, Mitra Bheda, Vigrah and Sandhi which reflects the behavioural patterns of various Beings, be they humans, animals, birds, or insects. Yet, the cart of their lives is drawn by two 'chakras' or wheels of, various shades and intensities of Dharma and Adharma or Virtue and Vice, pulling each other in opposite directions and this precisely is Life all about! The contents in the context of animals are as follows: 'Mitra Laabha'-Achievement of Ideal Friendship': Laghupatanaka the Crow warns pigeons of human trap - Hiranyaka the mouse saves the d blind vulture killed by wily fox out of misleading trust- Fox misleading deer and gets killed as retribution-Mouse Hiranyaka and Crow Laghupatanaka argue and finalise about their friendship- Mandhara the tortise puts the mouse and crow wiser from the lure of lucre- Excessive saving and avaricious planning is self-disastrous- Chitranga the deer runs for refuge from the attack of a hunter- Lack of foresight lands in unanticipated disasters!- Devasharma's foolishness climaxing in lack of foresight and thoughtless killing of domestic mongoose- Despite warnings an obstinate tortoise faces death but saved by trusted friends-'Mitra Bheda-Break up of Friendship due to Evil Forces': Huge sound in a forest paves way of friendship to two wily foxes with Lion King- Monkey's unwanted meddling resulting in hanging by a wooden girdle to death- Donkey seeking to assume a dog's responsibility ending up in one's own disaster - Prince marries a Vidyadharini damsel but his minor indiscresion ruins his happy life- Deceitful sanyasi outwitted by an equally dishonest follower- A vengeful crow succeeds in killing a cobra- Action plan of 'Mitra bheda': Karataka and Damanaka approach Lion King, carry tales against Sanjivika- Karataka Damanakas having diluted Pingala's trust hasten Sanjivika's destruction and death-'Vigraha' or conflict of similar forces leading to Balance of Power': Swan King Hiranyagarbha of Karpura dwipa and Chitravarna the King of Peacocks of Jambu dwipa- Crane Deerghakarna's report of his visit to the Peacock Kingdom-Parrot arrives in the Swan Kingdom for mediation and aftermath- Crane Saarasa selected as Commander but Crow Meghavarna of enemy camp was suspicious!- Mediation address of

Parrot in the court of the swan king's court-'Bhedopaaya' by way of mutual quarrels of disguised devils as thieves help a good Brahmana-Veeravara employed as King Sudraka's bodyguard sacrifices the self instead of that of the Prince-Mismatch of views of SwanKing and Minister- Battle at fortress gates of Swan Kingdom, deceipt by the traitor Crow and excellence of Crane Saarasa- Evil desires lead to destruction but for mental alertness exemplified by a crab to a crane. 'Sandhi' or the Principles of Truce, Tolerance and Co-existence. Aftermath of the defeat of Swan King due mainly to the traitorship of Meghavarna the crow- A tortoise ignores the advice of swans; the story of three fishes, possibilities turn against hazards- Peacock King appoints traitor Crow as in charge of Karpura Dwipa but Vulture Minister warns against- Sage converts mouse as tiger but reverses; mouse turns as dame but reverses for want of alliance- Kapinjala bird and a hare seek mediation of a wily cat which kills both as expected of a traitor of faith- Evil desires always lead to destruction but for alertness of mind as exemplified by a crab to a crane-Timely alert by Vulture Minister to Peacok King and plea for truce with Swan Kingdom-Foolish crocodile seeking to attain a monkey's heart to please wife but oversmarted by the monkey- Donkey dies as misled by a fox twice over as narrated by Vulture Minister to victorious Peacock King- Moves and counter moves by both the Swan and Peacock kingdoms and mutual parleys towards truce- Brahmana cheated a goat for a dog; camel fooled to death by offering self as planned by tricksters- Crow cites example of serpent and frog to vindicate Swami Seva-Simhala King Saarasa surrounds Peacock kingdom suddenly and the latter offers truce to Swan King-Minister of Swan Kingdom replies wisely, while King of Swans commends Truce without strings- Truce of Swan and Peacock Kings forged, Saarasa King withdraws forces and Peace prevails.]

Sarga Seventy Three: Rama Lakshmanas proceed towards Matanga Vana and meet Tapasvini Shabari awaiting Shri Rama Lakshmanas all along her life with indefinable devotion.

[Vishleshana on Yogini Shabari]

Vishleshana on Shabari:

Shabari was a tribal girl curious to know what 'dharma' was all about and approached Matanga Maharshi at the foothills of Rishyamukha mountain; the Rishi accepted her as his student and eversince lived in his ashram teaching her in his service. As years paassed by she became old walking with a stick and plucking berry fruits from the gardens of the ashram; meanwhile Matanga Muni achieved 'Maha Samaadhi' in 'padmaasana' posture, while assuring her to awat the arrival of Shri Rama Lakshmanas. As the latter finally did arrive, she brought basketful of berry fruits and after biting and tasting the fruits only offered them to Rama and Lakshmana declaring to the world that sincere 'bhakti' would be the 'moksha maarga'; and thus the 'Shabari Ramayana' emphasizing Bhakti for Bliss. Rama gave the discourse to Shabari aboudt the nine folded bhakti viz. 'Satsang' or affinity with followers of Truthful Virtue - 'Shravana' or hearing all about Dharma- 'Guru Seva' or Service and Following of a Guide- 'Japa' or constant repetition of the Sacred Name of Paramatma- 'Bhajana' or chorus singing in praise of the Lord as an expression in the public and selfless service to the society- and finally 'bhakti' or intense devotion without expectation recalling Bhagavad Gita's : Karmanyevaadhikaaraste maa phaleshu kadaachana, maa karma heturbhuuh maate sangostva karmani/ One has only the liberty to 'do' but never demand the return fruits about which one has no control. Yet never abstain from the performance surely expected of the person.you. 'Karma Phala' is as per the decision of the Almighty. What ever is decided as per destiny shall doubtless be awarded to the person concerntd. Never hesitate to accept by way of self desire or by the misleading advice of the public. The very feeling of disappointment creates suspicion and self repudiation. This tends to lead to frustration which is the anti-thesis of contentment and thus further leads

to a string of inabilities for further successes! That situation is tantamount to 'jadatva' or total lack of initiative!]

ESSENCE OF VALMIKI KISHKINDHA RAMAYANA

Sarga One: On reaching Pampa Sarovara Rama was excited at its natural grandeur especially Sita's absence, Lakashmana solaces- as they approached Rishyamooka, Vanaras and Sugriva.

[Vishleshana on Pampa Sarovara recalled from Sarga 71 of Valmiki Ramayana's Aranya Khanda: 'Enjoying the grand Prakriti soundarya and its bountiful nature, Rama Lakshmanas crossed one forest to another reached Pampa's illustrious banks called Pushkarini. Pampa sarovara is situated to the east of the Matanga hill and to the west of the Rishyamukha hill and serves as a perennial source of water as the rain waters falling on these hills flow down to the sarovara. The water thus collected is free from gravel slippery slime and duck weeds. Thus, the water is crystal clear, sparkling, limpid, cool and delightful scented with lotus fragrance. The environs of the sarovara abound in forests is rich in flora and fauna includes Swans, Ducks, Kraunches, Ospreys and such other water birds. Fishes of rare variety like Vakratunda, Rohita Nalameena are found in plenty in the sarovara. Rama Lakshmanas! When you seek to catch the multi-coloured fishes, especially in the early evenings, the Sarovara gets profoundly fabulous of sweet smells of joy, coolness, healthy, and heart filling. Nara shreshthaas! The musical sounds of monkey group screeches get so pronounced as those of constant drubbings of ear drums. sāyāhne vicaran rāma vitapī mālyadhārinah, śītodakam ca pampāyām dṛstvā śokam vihāsyasi/ sumanobhiś citāms tatra tilakān naktamālakān, utpalāni ca phullāni pankajāni ca rāghava/ Shri Rama! In such glorious evenings when you pass by the banks of Pushkarini and its truly hearty walks, you should forget the remote heart beatings of Devi Sita viyoga even for a while. It is a local belief of pronouncement that the disciples of Matanga Maharshi tend to surrender to silence and peaceful tranquility of the natural surroundings. As the Matanga shishyaas collect flowers and fruits, then they get tired out and the sweating drops of their bodies seem to instantly turn as fresh and sweet smell flowers by the miracle of the Maharshi. Having crossed such spell binding occurances in the forth arriving Matanga ashram, one could also witness there ahead the Punya Murti Tapasvini Shabari the embodiment of 'dharmaanushthaana'. Rama! Maha Saadhvi Shabari ought to be ever anxious for your darshana bhagya for a number of years now! Raghu nandana! Once you pass by ahead the Matanga Vana and Shabari ashram, then you would reach the foothills of Rishyamooka parvata: rsyamūkas tu pampāyāh purastāt puspitadrumah, suduḥkhārohano nāma śiśunāgābhirakṣitaḥ, udāro brahmaṇā caiva pūrvakāle vinirmitaḥ/ The eastern side of Pampaa sarovara is situated the Rishyamooka Parvata foothills which around greenery of huge trees and plants fornming a picturesque scene stated to have emerged by Lord Brahma's generosity!]

Sarga Three: Hanuman reached Rama Lakshmanas in a Tapasvi form, complemented Rama Lakshmanaas by their appearance as Hanuman was pleased;

[.Vishleshanas on Anjaneya on his origin and illustrative stutis- a ready repeat reference vide Essence of Valmiki Bala Ramayana 2. Vedaangas

<u>Vishleshana on Anjaneya on his origin and illustrative stutis- a ready repeat reference vide Essence of Valmiki Bala Ramayana released by www. kamakoti.org-books section:</u>

Kesari the son of Gautami Rishi and Kesari's wife Anjana secured a grand son named *Hanuman* with the 'Amsa' (facet) of Parama Shiva and Vayu Deva too was responsible in the birth of the boy. Mistaking Surya Deva for a red-coloured fruit, the boy was tempted to fly skywad tried to hold Surya Deva, as Indra threw his Vaira on Hanuman's body and Rayana tried to hold Hanuman's tail but Hanuman never left his firm hold of Surya Deva. Ravan kept on fighting for a year in vain and tried to wriggle out of Hanuman's powerful clasp. Meanwhile Rishi Vishrava arrived at the spot and eulogised Hanuman to release Ravana the terror of the Universe. There after Hanuman resided for long time at Pampapura on the banks of PampaRiver as a strong fixture and was thus acclaimed as 'Sthanu'. Also since Ravana who had dictated the World and controlled Devas was humiliated by *Anjaneya*, his name and fame spread as Hanuman: Nighnanta cha Suraan mukhyan Ravanam Lokaraavanam, Nihanti Mushthirbhayah sa Hanumaaniti vishrutah. (Rayana who was in the habit of badly hurting Devas and related Demi-Gods and killing Vishnu- Bhaktas without mercy had thus been restrained badly and received a jolt by Hanuman; the 'Mushtighatas' or 'Hanus' (beatings of closed hand grasps) damaged Ravana was the reason why Hanuman was named as such. Lord Brahma informed Hanuman that during the twenty eighth Tretayuga's first Part of Vaivaswa Manyantara, Bhagayan Vishnu would take the Incarnation of Shri Rama and that he would achieve Rama's unreserved devotion to Hanuman and destroy the clan of Ravana, his cruel brothers and sinful sons. (Bhavishya Purana) Illustrative Stutis: Manojavam Maaruta tulya vegam jitendriyambuddhimataam varishtham, aataatmajam Vaanara yudha mukhyam Sri Rama dutam sharanam prapadye/ I bow in reverenceto Anjaney whose thinking capacity as fast as wind, who is in all respects like his father the Vayu Deva in speed and mental agility, as the master of senses, the Supreme among intellectual strength, the leader of the Monkey brigade and the foremost follower of Shri Rama Chandra! Hanuman anjanaasuunur vaayuputro maha balah, Rameshthah Phalguna sakhah pingaakshomita vikramah udadhityukramanaschaiva Seetaashoka vinaashanah Lakshmana praana daataacha Dasha greevascha darpaha, dvaadashaitaani naamaani Kapeendrasya Mahaatmanah svaapakaale pathennichyam yaatraa kaale viseshitah tasya mrityu bhayamnaasti sarvatra vijayee bhavet/Maha bala Hanuman, the illustrious son of Anjana Devi and Vayu Deva! You are the beloved of Lord Shri Rama and dear friend of Arjuna; famed for brown eyes, the valiant hero of popularity who crossed the ocean with the unique purpose of assuaging Devi Sita's tearful misery, the wreckless destroyer of the fabled Ashoka Garden, the saviour of Lakshmana by fetching mrita sanjeevani overnight from Himalayas and the historic subduer of Ravana! Even a fleeting prayer to you by a sincere devotee frees from death and leads to victory especially during one's travels! Atulita baladhaamam hemashailaabhideham, danujavana krishaanum jnaani naama agraganyam/ Sakala guna nidhaanam vaanaraanaamadheesham Raghupatipriya bhaktam Vaatajaatam namaami/ Om ham Hanumate namah/ Anjaneya! Our sincere salutations to you! Your body strength is like that of a golden mountain; you are like gigantic fire destroying the huge forest full of demonaic enemies; yet you are the symbol of wisdom and knowledge, the outstanding devotee of Shri Rama the singular and illustrious son of Vayu Deva! Buddhi balam yasho dhairyam nirbhayatvam arogataa, ajaadyam vaakpatutvam cha Hanutsmaranadbhavet/ We pray to Hanaman Deva to surely secure 'buddhi balam' or mental sharpness and physical strength, reputation and fearlessness, resistance to physical diseases or even ailments and above all finesse in expression and convincing power! Yatra yatra Raghunadha keertanam, tatra tatrakritamastakaanjalim/ Baashpavaari paripurna lochanam Maarutim namata raakshsaantakam/ When and where there are singing and music sessions of Lord Rama's glories, there and then Lord Hanuman is readily seated with folded hands and emotionally charged wet eyes! Such indeed is the scene of Anjneya who provides a safety zone to Rama bhaktas. Daily Hanuman Mantra: The Hanuman Mantra

for daily recital on the 11 days of worship is as follows: Om namo Hanumate prakata rupaaya, aakraanta digmandala yashovitaana dhavaleekrita jagatpita vajra deha jvaladagni Suryakoti samaprabha tanuuruha Rudraavataara Lankaapuri dahana udhadhi langhana Dashgreeva shirah kritaantaka Seetaa sevaasana Vayu suta, Anjanagarbha sambhuta Shri Rama Lakshmana -andakara, Kapi sainya praakaara Sugreeva sakhya kaarana, Bali nibarshana kaarana, drona parvatotpaatana, Ashoka vana vidaarana, Akshakumaarakacchedana, Vanarakshaakara samaanayana, Baalodita Bhaanumandala grasana, Meghanaada hom vidhvamsana, Indrajivadha kaarana, Seetaa rakshaka raakshasee sangha vidaarana, Kumbhakarnaadi vadha paraayana, Shri Raama bhakti tatpara, Samudravyomadruma langhana mahaasaamardhya, Maha tejah punja viraajamaana, swaami vachana sampaadita, Arjuna samyuga sahaaya, Kumara Brahmacharin, gambheera shabdodaya, Dakshinaashaa Martaanda, Meruparvata peethikaarchana, sakala mantraagamamaachaarya, mama sarva graha vishaadasana, Sarvajvarocchaatana, Sarva Visha vinaashana, Sarvaapatti nivaarana, Sarva dushta nibarhana, Sarva vyaaghraadi bhaya nivaarana, Sarva shatrucchedana, Mama parasyacha trihuvana pum streena pumsakaatmaka Sarva jeeva jaatam vashaya naanaa naamadheyaan sarvaan raagjna saparivaaraan mama sevakaan kuru kuru, Sarva shastraastra vishaani vidhvamsaya vidhvamsaya, mama sarva kaarya jaatam saadhaya saadhaya sarva dushta durjana mukhaani keelaya/Recital of this Paramapavitra Hanuman mantra japa bestows veeratva, keerti, tejas and ojas. Another popular stanza of for daily recital is as follows: Hanunaananjanaa soonur Vaayu putro maha balah,Raameshtah Phalguna sakhah pingaakshomita vikramah/ Udadhi kramanaschiva Seeta shoka vinaashakah, Lakshmana praana daataacha Dashagreevascha darpaha/ Dvaadashitaani naamaani Kapeendrasya mahabalah,svaapakaale pathennityam yaatraakaale visheshatah, tasya mrityu bhayam naasti sarvatra vijayee bhayet/ Sarga Seven: As Shri Rama expressed his anguish and anger too, Sugriva seeks to assuage Rama's inner feelings and assures 'karya siddhi' finally; reciprocatively Rama assures Sugriva to regain his kingdom and wife too!

[1. Brief Vishleshana on Tri Gunas 2. 'Arishad Vargas' vide Bhagavad Gita and Kathopanishad:]

[Refer to Vishleshana on 'Arishad Vargas' vide Bhagavad Gita and Kathopanishad:

Bhagavad Gita states: Duhkeshvanudvignamanaah sukheshu vigataspruhah, veetaraaga bhaya krodhah sthitadheer- muniruchyate/Getting terribly agitated while facing insurmountable impediments and getting extremely overjoyed by very joyous experiences is the negation of an equanimous mind and the ability to neutralise the emotions. One's capacity to neutralise the inner emotions of pleasures and pains alike is the State of 'Sthitapaginantya'! Sorrows and joys are the consequences of discontent and of success. The vicious circle of discontentment leads to disappointment which itches on the fear of failure. This creates irritability, fear, anguish, anger, and back to dissatisfaction of life. Sadhakas realise that without Shiva's approval even an ant or insect would not do harm. And 'Shivaagina' is on account of one's own doings of the previous births and of the ongoing one, besides the estimated future foretellings too. The Karma Sutra explains: Avashyamanubhoktavyam sthitam karma shubhamashubham/ or our own 'karma phala' or the sweetness or sourness of the fruit is reciprocated. That firm belief of hope or disappointment as the case that may be, is the 'Atma Swarupa' which certainly not is the body but the Self Consciouness of the concerned body which is clean and transparent and indestructible and eternal. Dhaayato Vishayaan Pumsah sangasteshoopajaayate, sangaatsanjaayate kaamah kaamaat krodhobhi jaayate, sangaatsanjaayate kaamah kaamaat krodhobhijaayate/ Krodhaadbhayati sammohah sammohat smriti vibhramah, smriti bhramshaah buddhi naashah buddhi naashaat pranashyati/Every human being is subject to desires; if the desires are not fulfilled, there would be disappointment and eventual frustration;

the resultant grief develops anguish and instability of mind; this further shapes up as anger coupled with wrong judgment and discretion which results in further failures! Such is the impact of the proverbial 'arishad vargas' or the six ememies of human beings viz. Kaama krodha lobha moha mada matsaras or excessive desires, anger, selfishness and avarice, infatuation, ego and jealousy. Raaga dyesha niyuktaistu vishaanindriyaischaran, aatmavashyarvidheyaatmaa prasaadamadhigacchati/ Prasaade sarva duhkhaanaam haani rasyopajaayate, prasanna chetasohyaashu buddhih parya patishthate/ If one is able to control desires and dislikes, then there can be regulation of mind and least disturbance of peace. Kathopanishad vide I.iii.3-4 states: Aatmaanam rathinam vidhuh, shareeram rathameva tu , buddhim tu saarathim viddhi, manah pragrahamevacha/ Indriyaani hayaanaahu vishaayamsteshu gocharam, ateendriya mano yuktam bhokteetyaahur maneeshinaam/ This Individual Self is denoted as the Master of the Chariot, body is the chariot, charioteer is the 'buddhi' or the Intellect / Mind the bridle. The Pancha Indrivas are the horses viz. the Pancha Karmendrivas ie.the eyes-ears- mouth-nose-reproductive cum excretionary organs and Pancha Jnenendriyas of seeing-hearing-eating- breathing and the concerned of the last afore said. Besides, material objects are the roads as countless. Those who understand these details are called the Self and the latter has the body adjuncts and the mind)] Prasaade sarva duhkhaanaam haanirasyopajaayate prasanna chetasohyaashu buddhih paryapatishthate/ Peace of Mind could be routinised even as one goes on a feee spree of fulfilling desires of life yet within one's mental control. But once 'chitta shuddhi' or the purity of conscience is tarnished and 'indriya nigraha' or control of senses is lost then the mental bridle gets tilted off.]

Sarga Twelve: Shri Rama's feat of destroying Seven Taala Trees in a row- Sugriva's challenge to Vaali but gets beaten as Sugriva runs to Rishyamooka- Sugriva vilaapa- Rama explains the problem of Vaali Sugriva identity.

[Vishleshana on the identity of Ashvini Kumars from Surya Purana:

Vishwakarma the Shilpi's daughter was Sagjna whose celestial name is Raagjni also called Surenu in dyuloka. Sangjna's shadow is Chhaaya also called Nikshubha. Sangjna is not only pretty but a Pativrata too; she gave birth to Manu and Yama. But she was unable to approach the ever fiery form of Surya and after retaining her shadow left to her father Vishvakarma's home to stay there for very thousand and odd years, despite the father advising her to return to her husband's home as soon as possible. As the father pressurised her, she left for Uttrara Kuru pradesha in the form of a horse. Chhaya Devi and Surya Deva gave birth to two sons named Shritashrava and Shrutakarma, besides a daughter named Tapati. Shritashrava's son was Saavarni Manu and Shanaishwara was the son of Shritakarma. Just as Sangina Devi was too affectionate with her children, Chhaya Devi was not so. Chhaya had normal relation with Sangina's elder son Manu, but had difference of opinion with Yama. As Chhaya bothered Yama too much, then the latter desired to lift her physically and held her upside down and in the process touched her feet. Chhaya then gave a 'shaap' or curse that Yama 's feet be twisted and disfigured. In this physical altercation, Surya appeared and said that every 'shaap' could be negated but not that of a mother and suggested that the only way could be to the flesh of Yama's feet be kept on 'krimis' or vicious worms so that the flesh of the feet be eaten and got disappeared and the fleshless feet be retained. This way- out would save Yama's feet and Chhaya Devi's curse be carried out too. Soon after this shaap incident, Vishvakarma the father of Sangjna approached Surya Deva and informed him that his daughter Sangjna was in the form of a horse in Shaaka dwipa, and made Surya to assume the form of a male horse at where Sangjna was grazing. Then Surya in the form of a male horse aproached Sangjma in the form of a female horse and tried to mate. Sangina struggled in the act of mating as she was of the feeling that Surya was a 'para purusha'; in the process of th struggle Surya's virility entered Sangina's nose and she gave birth to two sons viz. Ashvini Kumars the celestial physicians, named Naasatya and Dasnna. After Surya Deva revealed his identity, then the two horses mated again and Revant was born with similar radiance like that of the father.]

Sarga Thirteen: Much unlike Sugriva got thrashed by Vaali last time, the party of Rama-Sugriva party proceeded again, enjoyed Prakriti Soundarya back to Kishkindha and secures blessings from Sapta Janaashrama Muni. [Vishleshana on Tri Agnis: a) Varaha b) Brahmanda Puranas.

[Vishleshana on Tri Agnis: a) Varaha Purana b) Brahmanda Purana

Varaha Purana: Creation of Agni Deva, his several names and implication of worship: When Maha Vishnu created 'Panchabhutas' or Five Elements) and Loka Pitamah Brahma and commanded the latter to initiate creation, Brahma could not do so and he was extermely confused and hence angry and the rage created thousands of flames called Agniwho became extremely thirsty. When Agni asked Brahma as to how his thirst could be quenched, Brahma showed three types of satisfying it viz.sharing the 'Dakshinas' received by Devas and hence Agni was known as 'Dakshinagni'; the second way of Agni's thirst was by carrying the Havans (Homas and Yajnas) performed in the Trilokas (Three Worlds) in favour of various Deities as their 'Vahan', thus becoming Agni popular as 'Havyavahan'; the third way is that since Agni is present in each 'Griha' or household, he is known as 'Garhapatyagni'. Brahma further named Agni as 'Vaisvanara' as the latter provides the means of bestowing 'Sadgati' (Salvation) to the virtuous beings performing havans and other good deeds. Agni is 'Jataveda' or protector of both Known and Unknown material; 'Naaraa Prashamsa'-'Naar' or people, especially 'Dwijas' or twice born Brahmanas, Kshatriyas and Vysyas do 'Prashamsa' or praise; Known as 'Dravinoda'as Agni provides money power. The other popular names accorded by Brahma to Agni are 'Tanunpath' (Agni protects Sharir/Asharir), 'Prapurna' (full of everything) and many other names. Agni desired to Brahma to designate a day of each Month so that all concerned would perform worship to Him. Since this was a unique request made by any Deity for the first time, Brahma confirmed *Pratipada* as a day of significance for Agni. Brahma blessed Agni that Pratipada be popularised among all the Lokas and worship to Agni by way of fasting (Upavas) or at the most by taking milk would quality a devotee to acquire prosperity and Tejas (radiance) during the current birth and to secure Kingship in the next birth and certainly please the Pitru Loka. Brahmanda Purana describes: There are three types of Agni viz. Devata related, Bhoutikaagni and Water generated Earth-related Agni called Vidyut Sambhava or Born out of Lightning or Abyoni; as the night is over the Unknown Brahma desired to visualise water and Earth in the darkness and assumed the form of a tiny 'Khadyota' (glow-worm) and viewed Agni for illumination and named it as 'Parthivaagni' or Terrestrial Fire and divided into three forms viz. 'Vaidutaagni', 'Jatharaagni' and 'Souraagni'. Vaidyutaagni is not assuaged due to rains nor human bellies but only due to friction ofwood. Jatharaagni has no illumination and is not visible. Souraagni gets terminated by the Sun Set and enters Agni and gets revived at Sun Rise. Illumination and Heat promote and increase each other. Alike in the Northern and Souhern hemispheres, when Sun rises the night enters water and water gradually gains heat and radiation; at the time of Sun Set the day enters waters and thus the latter gains transparency next morning. Thus in this order the Earth's hemispheres the Sun Rise and Sun Set or the day and night respectively enter water. Surya Deva absorbs water through his rays and hence called 'Shuchi' or of purity. This is related to Earth-related Agni and hence called Shuchi; the latter means Agni with thousand rays which absorb water from various sources like oceans, rivers, wells and all water-bodies. The rays of Agni create both cold

water and hot water as also four hundred peculiar forms; those rays which could produce heavy rains are called chandana, Sadhya, Kutana, Akutana and Amrita. Besides these rays, there are three hundred other rays which produce snow. The Snow-fall creating rays are known as Drisyaas, Meghaas, Yaamyaas, Hradinyaas (resounding ones) and they have limited illumination and such rays are called Chandras. Those rays which create heat are white in colour numbering three hundred are called Shuklas, Kuhakaas, and Vishvabhruts. Surya Deva distributes these rays to human beings as well as Pitru Devas equitably and satisfy them. Surya helps utilise these rays to Human beings by way of herbs and vegetation, to Pitras by way of Swadhaa-Homas and to Devatas by way of Amrita. In the Vasanta or Spring and Greeshma or Summer seasons, Surya blazes three hundred rays of Agni to heat up the World while he showers in Sharat Kaala or rainy season by four hundred Agni-Kiranas; in Hemanta or early winter and Sishira or late winter Seasons three hundred rays are utilised.]

Sarga Seventeen: Falling before death, Vaali heavily criticizes Rama for his stealthiness, undeserved glory, falsity, and sheer selfishness colliding with Sugriva only to recover Devi Sita, which he too could have with bravery!

[Vishleshana on Bhagavan Hayagriva and Madhu Kaitabhas vide Devi Bhagavata Purana:

Devi Bhagavati blesses Vishnu as Hayagreeva: As Indra and Demi-Gods were performing a Sacrifice in the presence of Brahma and Mahesa, they had all desired Maha Vishnu to preside over the Function and called on Him. But, Lord Vishnu was in 'Yoga Nidra' or the Sleep of Deep Meditation and nobody would dare wake Him. More over, interruptions of somebody's speech, the love of a couple, or waking up a person's deep sleep are sins equivalent to 'Brahma hatya' or killing of a Brahmana. The Lord was seated in a 'Padmasana' posture squatting with His legs folded and resting His chin on the top of His Bow with an Arrow fully drawn. As the Sacrifice was to be concluded, Lord Siva advised Lord Brahma to create a White Ant, 'Vamri' and directed it to bite the arrow gently which should wake up the Lord to consciousness and thus make the request. The Vamri sensed the delicate situation and requested Brahma to grant it a return boon for the great risk being undertaken in disturbing the Yoga Nidra of no less a personality than Maha Vishnu Himself! Lords Brahma and Siva gave a boon to the Vamri that what ever trickles from the Sacrificial Offerings of Ghee in the Homa Kunda (Fire Pit) would spill out could be collected as its share. As commanded by Brahma, the insect bit the fore-end of the arrow and the tight string gave way at once and the entire Universe reverberated with horrifying sound as the earth quaked, mountains were shaken, Oceans rose high, Sun lost way and Devas got traumatised. Maha Vishnu's Head was severed with His Crown and there was no trace as to where it fell! Along with Devas, Brahma and Siva cried like human beings as there was a 'Pralaya'-like situation (Universal Dissolution). Then Deva Guru Brihaspati consoled Indra, Brahma and Siva and emboldened them to countenance the grim situation, as such eventualities did happen in the past. The only recourse that Lords Siva and Brahma, accompanied by Indra and Demi-Gods, had in one voice made an intense appeal to Maha Devi Bhagavati, the Eternal Cause of Causes, the very Original Energy, the Life Force of entire Creation, the Bindu and Pranava, the Sourcing Fountain of knowledge and above all the Embodiment of Charity and Forgiveness. Pleased by the most sincere prayers of Brahma and Siva downward, 'Nirguna' Maha Devi hinted that there ought to be a cause for the tragedy. In the company of Maha Lakshmi, once Maha Vishnu laughed by thinking of something. Lakshmi Devi failed to understand the possible reason as to why Vishnu was so much amused about. Was it a spot on Her face or was it due to another woman in His desire? Then as Vishnu did not clarify, Lakshmi assumed 'Tamasic Guna' and gave a curse to Him saying that His head should fall off. Thus happened the resultant tragedy despite Her sincere repentance. While this tragedy took place, there was a coincidental incident that a tough Davana of extraordinary cruelty,

named Hayagriva or the Demon with the neck of a horse, resorted to severe 'Tapas' (Meditation) to Maha Bhagavati for thousands of years by following a strict regime of Sacrifice and unflinching devotion. Maha Devi appeared before the Rakshasa and granted him a boon that no Power in the Universe could cause death to him, except by an Extraordinary Energy in the form similar to his own viz. Hayagriva form alone could destroy him. Brahma and Siva hastened with the solution to the present gravest tragedy and instructed Devata's own Architect, Visvakarma to do the needful. The Architect killed a horse at once and fixed its neck to Vishnu's severed head and thus emerged Hayagriva. Vishnu destroys Madhu Kaitabha brothers: When Maha Vishnu was in Yoga Nidra in a comfortable posture of lying on the bed of Ananta Naga, two Demon brothers named Madhu and Kaitabha were born from the wax of Maha Vishnu's ears. Their birth was a mystery and unknown as felt by the brothers themselves whose physical forms grew fast and strong day by day, even as they were playing in the ocean surroundings, killing various kinds of aquatic species for food or play and finally stealing Vedas. Coming of age in course of time, the Demon brothers with huge bodies and proportionate common sense too, realised that there must have been a Massive Force which alone could have given birth to them. From the air, they heard a sound 'Vagbija' the Seed Mantra (Seed 'Bija' and 'Vak' the Speech of Goddess Sarasvati). To start with fun, but later on with maturity, they kept on practising the sound for years together, little realising the impact of the Mantra's repetition. In fact, they became so obsessed with the Mantra that they neither had food nor sleep, but with full concentration and utmost sincerity. 'The Parasakti's Voice emerged from the Skies that the Danava brothers would be invincible in the entire Universe provided they were united and fight two-some. Blessed by Maha Devi, the two brothers became swollen with pride and eventually attacked Lord Brahma Himself. On realising that they were unconquerable, Brahma who was seated on the lotus- head sprouting from Maha Vishnu's navel, tried the age-old four means. He tried to use 'Sama (Counselling) 'Dana' (Gifting or bribing), 'Bheda' (put one against another) and finally 'Danda' (Punish), but neither of these media appeared feasible; he ran away to Vaikuntha for protection but Maha Vishnu was in Yoga Nidra. Brahma had thus prayed to Yoga Nidra Devi to prompt Maha Vishnu to wake up. It was actually Maha Maya's discretion which mattered as Vishnu Himself could not regain consciouness on His own. The concentrate of 'Tamo Guna' - Maha Maya - was earnestly prayed to by Brahma, as this was a prestige issue for him and the entire domain of Gods! Maha Maya left Vishnu free and He was fully woken up to face the challenge of the hour, viz. to either manipulate or massacre the brothers, Madhu and Kaitabha. Lord Vishnu invited the brothers to fight with Himself. The fight continued for five thousand years but without a tangible result. As the Demons were clashing one after another and Lord Vishnu was in duel singly, the latter asked the brothers to give a break as it was against Justice that they took alternate positions while He was alone. During the break, Vishnu prayed to Maha Shakti and complained that the fight was unfair and that they were also given by Her the boon of voluntary death or 'Svacchanda Maranam'. Maha Shakti realised the lacuna in the duel and advised Vishnu to give boons to the brothers so that a way out would automatically open up. Meanwhile, Maha Shakti agreed to be present at the fight in physical form and disturb the concentration of the Demon brothers by casting Her fake amorous looks. This encouraged Vishnu to convey the Demons that their duel with Him was of great quality and thus He was ready to give boons to them. They got into the trap as they boasted that they were prepared to give boons to Him instead of the other way around. Vishnu grabbed the opportunity and said that He be given the boon of their death by killing each other! The brothers gave an excuse that the boon could be given only provided there was no water or wetness in the Ocean. Vishnu expanded his thighs manifold so that there could be adequate space for the killings. The Demons expanded their bodies too and thus the thighs of Vishnu and the body sizes of the

brothers kept on increasing horizontally and vertically proportionately. Finally, the illusion created by Vishnu proved stronger and the brothers had to yield to their own killings. Thus Maha Shakti who assumed human physique and paved the way to the killings of the Danava brothers without breaking the Rules of 'Dharma Yuddha', partly by trickery and partly by Maya or Illusion.]

Sarga Eighteen:Shri Rama, having let Vaali steam off his anguish from his deadly fall, replies point by point and fully justifying action in releasing his frightful arrow, yet with sympathy [Vishleshana on Chakravarti Mandhata from Maha Bhagavata Purana]

[Vishleshana on Chakravarti Mandhata from Maha Bhagavata Purana:

Tracing the origin of Ikshvaku, the eldest son of Vaivasvata Manu, in the lineage to King Puranjaya (Kakustha) who fought a war between Demons and Demi-Gods on behalf of Indra on the condition that Indra would take the form of a bull. Puranjaya rode on the hump of the Great Bull and hence Puranjaya's title was 'Kakustha' (hump of the Bull) as also Indravahana or the vehicle of Indra. In the family lineage of Puranjaya was born King Yuvanashva, who performed Indra Yagna to beget a child. During the Sacrifice days one night the King felt thirsty and entered the Fire Spot area and drank the Sacred Water meant to bless his wife a child. As the Brahmanas found the water pot empty, they were aghast that the King drank the Water and eventually, he got a child from his abdomen. The boy cried for milk and that was not possible from the father; Indra put his index finger in the child's mouth and thus saved him. The Boy was Mandhata, who became eventually an undisputed Emperor of the World comprising seven islands-'from where Sun rose to where it set'. He was a terror to Rakshasas. [He was stated to have discovered LakeManasarovar near MountKailash as he was reputed to have made penance at the banks of the Lake under the mountain range was named after him. It was believed that there was a SerpentMansion where Mandhata prayed and from a tree dropped fruits making big noises like 'Jam' and the area was known as 'Jambudweep']. Mandhata's wife Chatrarathi alias Bindumati was a pious lady who begot two sons, Purukutsa and Muchikunda and fifty daughters. Sage Saubhari an old person who lived twelve years under water in penance was tempted to marry as he found fishes having sex and procreating children. He hesitantly asked Mandhata to let him marry any of his daughters. Mandhata was reluctant as Saubhari was diseased and old, but could not disagree as the Sage might get furious; he told the Sage that his family custom was that all the daughters must marry the same person and that even one of them should not refuse the Sage. The Sage with his mystical powers transformed himself into a handsome youth and thus all the daughters agreed to marry him. The Sage made mansions for each of the girls. But, in course of time, Sage Saurabha realised that because of the fish in water, his entire Spiritual life was destroyed and although late in his life reverted back to a more introspective life eventually and intensified his devotion to Lord Vishnu.]

Sarga Twenty Four:Realising anguish of Tara Devi, Sugriva reacts severely and requests Shri Rama to allow him to die while Tara too requests so- Rama seeks to assuage them; [Vishleshana on Indra's killing Vritrasura vide Devi Bhagavata amd Maha Bhaganvata Puranas]

Brief Vishleshana on Indras killing Vritrasura based on Devi Bhagavata amd Maha Bhaganvata Puranas: Prajapati Visvakarma, the famed Architect of Devas, had a son named Trisira or the three headed Brahmana boy who used to practise ascetism with one head, drink wine with another and look around in all directions with the third. Being an ardent student of Vedas, he was always engaged in severe Tapasya,

especially 'Panchagni Sadhana' hanging upside down a tree branch exposed to Summer Sun, winter cold and heavy rainy season without food conquering worldly desires. Being highly suspicious of the intentions of Trisira who might pose problem his own throne, Indra despatched Apsarasas to disturb Trisira's rigorous meditation but to no avail. Indra thus killed him even when he was in meditation, even as he knew that killing a pious Brahmana in meditation was the highest possible sin. Furious with Indra's dreadful deed, Visvakarma performed an inexorable Sacrifice by 'Abhichara' process (taking revenge) reciting Atharva Veda Mantras, created a mountain like and ferocious boy with the sole objective of killing Indra. The huge boy was named **Vritra** or who could save his father as Vrinjina. Visvakarma equipped him with all kinds of war tactics and divine armoury including a swift and sturdy Chariot, a 'Sudarshan' like Disc, and a'Trisula' like spear. As Vritra grew, Indra was getting nervous and approached Deva Guru to prevent any risk from the Demon. Brihaspati warned Indra that he should better be prepared for a Big Battle as the forebodings were not conducive. He advised that he along with Devas might request Dadhichi Maha Muni to spare his backbone which meant the Muni's sacrificing his life to serve a deva karya; Dadhichi obliged and Devata's architect Vishvakarma made a thunderbolt like 'vajraayudha' with the help of which Vrtrasura was killed]

Sarga Twenty Five: Rama Lakshmanas pacify Sugriva, Tara, and Angada- Vaali's 'dahana samskara/ jalaanjali' by Angada -

[Vishleshana on Dahana samskara for human beings is vividly explained vide Sarga Seventy Six of Essence of Valmiki Ayodhya Ramayana:

1

'You the Pretaatma' as enclosed with the 'kavacha' or the shield of Agni Deva who is merely turning only your body parts to ashes but not your true self whish indeed is everlasting. Hence Agni is merely clearing the mess of your body! Agni Deva! you may consume the deadbody along with his heart, pancha koshas or Five Sheaths of the body called Annamaya (Physical Energy), Praanamaya (Vital Energy), Manomaya (Mental Faculty), Vigyanamaya (Buddhi or Sharpness of Discrimination) and Ananda maya (Bliss) only but thereafter kindly despatch the 'Jeevatma'- Inner Being- safely to the Loka of His forefathers the Pitru Loka. Agni Deva, when you render the jeevatma fully rid of the memories of the erstwhile life, then That becomes rendered fit with a fresh form subject to the will of Devas. Preta swarupa! Let your vision see Surya Deva, your breath to Vayu Deva! As per your destiny and the fund of your 'sukrita phala', you may reach swarga, or back to earth or waters. In case you are destined to return as vegetation, then you shall do precisely the same swarupa once again. Rig Veda 10-16.-3. Referring to the stanza: Suryam chakshurgacchatu vaatamaatmaa, dyocha gaccha prithiveem cha dharmanaa, apo vaa gaccha yaditram te hitam, oushadheeshu pratrim tishthaa shareerereh/ as explained, Chhandogya Upanishad 5.10.6 explains: Abhram bhutwaa megho bhavati megho bhutwaa pravarshati taiha veehiyavaa oshadhivanaspatyah tila-maasha iti jaayant, ato vai khalu durnispra pataram, yo yohyannam atti yo retaah sinchati, tad bhuya eva bhavati/(In the further travel of the Soul from white clouds to thick black clouds to rains, the same is born as paddy, barley, herbs, sesmum, black pulses and so on. Now, the release of the concerned paddy or pulse is also destined as per the time of its release from the shell to kernel; similarly the cycle of food intake from an insect to a bird or to a reptile to an animal or human being is destined likewise). The next stanzas 6.1.22 -23: Ajobhaaga stapasa tam tapasva-- and Ayam vai tvamsmaadabhi/ are as addressed to Jaataveda: 'Agni Deva! having burnt off the body totally, may the physical aspects of the human being been burnt off totally, may the subtle body as the Jeevatma be carried to the wide world of the Devas of virtue]

Sarga Twenty Seven: Rama Lakshmana's diologues at their of Prasravana Giri Cave [Vishleshana on Tungabhadra]

[Vishleshana on Tungabhadra:

The Tungabhadra River is formed by the confluence of two rivers named Tunga and Bhadra on the slopes of Western Ghats. As the demon Hiranyaaksha sought to sink Bhumi down to Patala, the entire Universe came to stand still when 'Dishas' (Directions), 'Grahas' (Planets), and Celestial Beings got stuck excepting Tri-Murthis, Bhu Devi and Brahma appealed to Bhagavan Vishnu to uplift Her as She was sinking under deep Ocean and to save the Universe. In reply to the 'Stutis' by Bhu Devi, Maha Vishnu assured that as a result of Her Bhakti (devotion) He would lift Her up along with mountains, forests, Samudra, Rivers, Seven Dwipas and all the rest; He assumed a collosal manifestation of six thousand yojanas of height, three thousand yojanas of width and one thousand yojanas of Varaha Swarupa; Heliberated Prithvi by His left 'damshtra' (Jaw) along with the totality of mountains, forests, Sapta Dwipas and their contents including Oceans and Rivers all in tact!' The legend further states that Varaha Swami afer killing the demon took rest by sitting on the present day Varaha Parvata peak. When He sat on that Peak, his sweat over flowed from his scalp and flowed and became Tunga River and that which flowed from his right side became Bhadra River. After emerging from the source the Bhadra river flows through Kudremukh mountain region and Tunga River flows through Sringeri near Shimoga, till they join at Koodli, at an elevation of about 15 km from there. There is a popular saying 'Tunga Paana, Ganga Snana', or drink Tunga River water, which is tasty and sweet and take bath in Ganges River, which is holy. There are many religous places all along the rivers: primarily the temples of Saiva Cult on the banks of the Bhadra and all the cults on the banks of the Tunga. Sringeri, Sarada Petham established by the Adi Shankaracharya is the most famous one on the left bank of the Tunga, about 50 km. downstream of its origin. Mantralayam's Raghavendra Swamy Muth is at Alanmpur in Kurnool District of Andhra Pradesh.]

Sarga Twenty Eight: Shri Rama describes to Lakshmana about the features of Varsha Ritu [Vishleshana on Shat Ritus or Six Seasons from Taittiriya Arankaya]

[Vishleshana on Shat Ritus or Six Seasons from Taittiriya Arankaya

Ritus or Seasons approximately coincide with Chaitra-Vaishakha or end March to the last weeks of May when festivals like Ugadi, Shri Rama Navami, and Vaishakhi are celebrated. Greeshma Ritu or Summer during April-July during Jyeshtha-Ashadha when festivals like Ratha Yatra and Guru Purnima are observed and Dakshinayana or the Solar downtrend commences. Varsha Ritu or monsoon coincides with Shravana-Bhadrapadas or the last portions of July-September when Mangala Gauri and Vara Lakshmi Vratas, Raksha Bandhan, Krishna Ashtami, Ganesh Chaturthi and Onam are celebrated. Sharad Ritu or Autumn Season coinciding with Ashvin-Kartika months extending portions of September to November being mild weather the famed Sharannava Ratris and Depaavali are celebrated. Hemanta Ritu or prewinter Season coinciding with Margaseersha and the last days of November-January, the festivals of Vasanta Panchami, Shiva Ratri and Holi are observed; and finally Shishira Ritu or winter coinciding with Maagha-Phalguna months during the last quarter of January to March is the time of Vasanta Panchami,

Shiva Ratri and Holi. The Chandra maana procedure varies in the sense that the cycle of Seasons starts from the first day of Chaitra commencing from Ugadi.

[The following chart provides the details: Ritu/ Season- Lunar Month -Months - Weather Vasanta or Spring during Chaitra -Vaishakha or Feb 18- April 20 with temperature of 20-30 CGreeshma or Summer of Jyeshtha- Ashadha April 21-June 21 with temperature of 30-50 C Varsha or Monsoon of Shravana-Bhadrapada or June 22-Aug 23 with hot-humid- rains Sharat or Autumn of Ashvijuja-Kartika or Aug 24- Oct 23 mild temperature. Hemanta or Pre-winter coinciding with Margashira-Pushya- Oct 24- Dec 21 with pleasant- cold weather Shishira or winter during Maagha-Phalguna - Dec 22-Feb 17 Moderate Cold; 10C+/-

Vasanta Season is dominated by Vasu Devatasas instructed by Savitu as at the beginning of the Samvatsara and heralding colours, dresses, flowers and freshness all around and with plentiful water and Nature. The Spring season beckons relatives and friends to home with good food and gifts. In Greeshma the summer season scorches earth with heat asking for light dresses in white as Rudra and his gana devats dominate and prepares earth for Parjany and rains ushering diseases like cold, jaundice and so on. Yet, this is when crops are abundant and fruits in variety are aplenty. All the same rains the future of food supplies for the year hence calls for ploughing, planning and hard work. Sharat provides clean eyes and good vision even as divine artisans with the grace of Ribhu Devatas initiate planning, innovations, creations and caliber, aspirations and contented living. Sharat season heralds good eating, wearing god dresses and enjoyments. Marut Devas then follow creating mixed blessings; on one hand they create harsh and mighty winds seeking destruction and damages and on the other hard realities of life with obstructions in efforts yet unusual and unxpected fruits of hard work alike work never performed. Variety is the spice of Life in the Sharat Season! Hemant calls for vigilance, either initiating a struggle ahead or a caution and forewarning for preparedness and thus of introspection .Shishra Ritu arrives with lightnings, rains, smugness of Nature around besides that of individuals too. The blessing of ample rains could also calls for uncertainities. As Agni Deva calls for plentiful waters to heighten living conditions of Beings, uncertainties too prevail as natural calamities thus creating a touch-and-go situation. The Mighty Marut Devas are worshipped for overcoming impediments and create opportuninies for happiness]

Sargas Thirty Four and Thirty Five: Sugriva faces the wrath of Lakshmana and Tara continues to soothen Lakshmana by her tactical talks

Vishleshanaa : 1. on Prayaschittas (Atonements): sourced from Parashara Smriti and Manu Smriti and 2. Visleshana on Chandra Deva's inseperability of Devi Rohini vide Varaha Purana

Vishleshana on Prayaschittas (Atonements): Sourced from Parashara Smriti and Manu Smriti

Prayaschitta for 'Sura paana: Dwija if drunk by mistake or due to uncertain mental balance be served boiling hot liquor so that he is probably recall his bad experience be reminded of his guilt again and again. Alternatively, he is punished by drinking boiling hot cow's urine, or water or ghee or cow dung almost till he is tongue is burnt literally. Or else, the possible atonement of consuming hard liquor, one might eat only a day and rice'oil cakes for the night for a year and wear cow hair clothes carrying a flag of anti-liquor all along. Suraapaana is such as the waste of grains which is abhorable since that is the food and drink of yaksha, raakshasa, pishachas; indeed brahmanas especially ought to avoid suraapaana as being the virtuous eaters of 'havish' or the remains of the offerings of food on completion of vedic homa karyas. Even once a brahmana consumes a hard liquor gets barred from brahmanatwa and gets outcast to the meanest low class. Stealing: Gold of brahmanas once complained and the stealer confesses, striking

the culprit hard with a club then the thief gets purified and the brahmana victim retains his austerity. Infact, the victim brahmana might gift the gold and retreat to perform brahma tathya pataka vrata and that ideed be the perfect manner by which the thief himself would get ashamed. Guru bharya talpagaami: This is one of the 'Pancha mahaapaatakas' that deserves the praayaschitta only by self confession and embracing the protype of a woman of redhot iron and literally dying or alternatively cut off his own male organ and try to walk towards 'nairuti' or south west till he perhaps falls dead. Go hatya: If a cow is killed, the 'praayaschitta' would be to shave off his head and consume the drink of yavas or barly grains and hide himself from the public in a cowshed wearing the hides of the dead cow for a month. During that period of atonement he should bathe in the cow urine and eat only the havishya bhojana only for three weeks in the month; in the following two months, he should follow cows with composure and drink the water mixed with the dust raised by the cowherd and at the day eat saltless 'havishaana' and sit up in veeraasanam position all through the night as the cows sleep off comfortably. In case, a sick and frightened cow of sacredness expecting or acually attacked by tigers or wild animals and fallen helpless in a ditch or mud, then no honest attempt be spared by some how tide over the rescue. In varying conditions of weather of heat, rain, cold and speedy winds, a good human being should make allout and determined endeavors even at the risk of one's existence; if a grazing cow-incidentally this is the only being in the Lord's srishti which inhales as also exhales oxyzen- while its calf is enjoying milk from its udder, be it in the fields or one's own cow-yard, any attacker either by a criminal or an animal, cows ought to be rescued first and then the calf. Anena vidhinaa yastu goghno gaamanu -gachhati, sa gohatyaakritam paapam tribhirmaasairvyapohati/ Any person suffering from the sin of 'go hatya' if he rescues a dying cow would indeed be relieved of this atrocious degradation of morality within three months of such rescue. Once one's prayaschitta is concluded then the person concerned is to observe charity to a well learnt Brahmana of ten cows and a bull, or alternatively surrender what ever property that he has!]

Visleshana on Chandra Deva's inseperability of Devi Rohini vide Varaha Purana

Daksha's curse to Moon and reappearance: As Prajapati Daksha married off all his twenty seven daughters to Soma, the latter was ignoring all the daughters, excepting Devi Rohini. The 27 daughters married to Chandra are Krttika, Rohinī, Mrigasheersha, Aardra, Punarvasu, Purbabhadrapada, Pushya, Aslesha, Magha, Svaati, Chitra, Purvaphalguni, Hasta, Dhanishtha, Vishaakha, Anuraadha, Jyeshtha, Moola, Purvaashaadha, Uttaraashaadha, Shravana, Uttarphalguni, Shatabhisha, Uttarbhadrapada, Revati, Ashwini, Bharani. These 27 wives of Chandra are 27 Nakshatras (the constellations) which are on the moon's orbit. The rest of them complained to their father Daksha who reprimanded Soma to behave but Soma ignored the repeated warnings of Daksha. Out of exasperation, Daksha cursed Soma to gradually decline and finally disappear. In the absence of Soma, there were far reaching adverse effects in the Universe. Devas including Vanaspati felt Soma's absence and so did human beings, trees, animals and worst of all medicinal plants, herbs and so on. The Sky was dark and the Stars too lost the shine. Chandra prayed to Lord Shiva for long at Prabhasa Tirtha and since Daksha's cures was irreversible a compromise was made that during Krishna paksha Chandra would wane and wax during Shukla Paksha. However, this formula proved defective as Chandra was sinking in the Ocean causing natural sufferings by way of non availa -bility of herbs and so on and at the request of Devas to Shiva again, Chandra left only with one of the 'Kala', the Lord gracefully wore the Crescent Moon on His 'jataajuta mastaka' for good, enabling Chandra to wane and wax every month eversince! As Devas approached Vishnu, He advised the solution of Churning the Ocean by both Devas and Danavas and latter too agreed to the proposal for the lure of securing 'Amrit'. In the process of churning, Moon was given birth again. This had brought great relief to Devas, human beings whose 'Ekadasha Indriyas' (Eleven Body parts), 'Pancha Bhutas' (Five Elements), Solah Kshetra Devatas, Trees and Medicines. Even Rudra's head was without Soma and so did water.

Lord Brahma blessed Pournima thithi and selected the day for worship to Chandra Deva when fast is viewed propitious along with token amount of money and material as charity. That specific day 'Yava' Bhojan (Barley food) or barley made material is considered to blessed a person with Gyan (Knowledge), radiance, health, prosperity, foodgrains and salvation.]

Sarga Thirty Nine: As Shri Rama had sincerely thanked the efforts in mobilising an ocean like Vanara Sena to fight his battle against Ravanasura, the grateful Sugriva returns back for further action [Vishleshana on Anuhlada- Shachi Devi-and Indra]

[Vishleshana on Anuhlada- Shachi Devi-and Indra:

Shachi Devi the daughter of Danava Puloma was fond of Indra Deva even before their wedding, but Puloma liked another Danava youth named Anuhlaada. With the secret consent and permission of Puloma, Anuhlaada forcibly abducted Shachi Devi. Indra attacked and killed him brutally and married Shachi Devi. In further revenge Indra killed his father in law Danava Puloma too, thereafter.

Incidentally there is another Vishleshana on Shachi Devi and Indra vide Sarga Forty Eight of the Essence Of Valmiki Baala Ramayana in an another context of Vritrasura Vadha my Indra with the help of Dadhichi's backbone turned into Vajrayudha, but Indra was punished for 'brahma hatya pataka', as Indra got dethroned by Nahusha as new Indra,who claimed Shachi Devi and was finally recovered as hidden in a lotus stem at Manasarovara]

Sarga Forty: Now that the full backing of Vanara Sena along with enthused dedication of 'Swami Karya', Rama instructed Sugriva to take off the efforts of 'Sitaanveshana' in the eastern direction [Vishleshana on Sapta Dweepas from Brahma Purana] [Ready Ref. Vishleshana repeated in brief about Vaamana Deva and Balichakravarti vide Essence of Valmiki Ramayana as released by the website of kamakoti .org/books

Vishleshana on Sapta Dweepas from Brahma Purana

The entire Bhuloka (Earth) was divided into seven major Territories viz. Jambu, Plaksha, Shyalma, Kusha, Krouncha, Shaka and Pushkara surrounded by Sapta Samudras (Seven Seas) viz. Lavana (Salt), Ikshurasa (Sugar cane juice), Sura (wine), Ghrita (Classified Butter or Ghee), Dadhi (Curd), Dugdha (Milk) and Swadu Jala (Sweet Water). Prithvi is stated to have a lotus-like shape, each one of the angles situated with Sapta Parvatas (Seven Main Mountians) with Himavan, Hemakuta and Nishadha in South; Nila, Sweta and Shringvan in North, in the Center is Meru with a height of eighty four thousand yojanas, sixteen thousand yojanas of depth, thirty two thousand yojanas of circumference. Bharata Varsha, Kimpurasha and Hari Varshas are to the south of Meru; Ramyaka Varsha is in North; Bhadraswa in East; and Ketumala in West. In Jambu Dwipa, there is Bharata Varsha above the Sea and below the Himalaya called Bharati with a width of nine thousand vojanas; this is known as 'Karma bhumi' where Swarga and Moksha are accessible to those who are desirous and deserving. There are <u>seven major Kula Parvatas</u> / mountains in Bharat viz. Mahendra, Malaya, Sahya, Shaktiman, Ruksha, Vindhya and Pariyatra. It is in this Bharata from where attainment of Swarga becomes possible not only for human beings but even Pashu-Pakshis (animals and birds) with; 'Sakaama Sadhana' or Endeavors while in the materialistic world one could reach Swarga, whereas Nishkama Sadhana could even secure Moksha (Salvation). But negative results might be accrued in performing sins and would attract Narakas besides getting sucked into the whirlpool of births and deaths. There is no other place in one's life excepting in Bharata Varsha or the Karma Bhumi where such a possibility ever exists. Spread over an area of thousand yojans long from North to South, this hallowed land is divided into Nine Regions viz. Indra dwipa, Kasetutana also known

as 'Upto Setu', Tamravarna, Gabhastimaan, Nagadwipa, Soumya dwipa, Gandharwa dwipa, Varunadwipa and the Sea-surrounded ninth dwipa. To the east-ward of Bharata is the abode of Kiratas while the westward is of Yavanaas; inhabitants of the Central Region are Brahmana, Kshatriya, Vaishyas and Sudras whose professions are Yagnas, Yuddha, Vanijya and Seva (Sacrifices, Battles, Commerce and Trade and Service) respectively. In this Bharata, are of residents of Kuru, Panchala, Madhya desha, Purvadesha, Kamarupa (Assam), Poundya, Kalinga (Orissa), Magadha, Dakshina Pradesha, Aparanta, Sourashtra (Kathiyavad), Sudra, Abhira, Arbuda (Abu), Maru (Marvada), Malva, Pariyatra, Souveera, Sindhu, Shalva, Madra, Ambashtha, and Parasika. The Yugas of Satva, Treta, Dwapara and Kali are applicable only to Bharata Varsha and nowhere else. While Bharata is the Karma Bhumi practising Yagnas and Daanaas, compared to all other Countries in Jambu Dwipa are Bhoga / luxury-oriented. Bharata Varsha is the best of all the Places in Jambu Dwipa as the former is the Karma Bhumi compared to all other Deshas which are primarily pleasure-loving. It would be only after lakhs of births that one could secure a human life after storing considerable Punya; in fact, Devas sing hymns saying that those who take birth as human beings are blessed since they are born as Manavaas who had great opportunity to qualify to attain Swarga and Moksha by following a religious and disciplined life and by following Nishkaama Dharma or without strings of 'Plalaapeksha' or fruits of returns. Plaksha Dwipa is double the size of Jambu Dwipa's one lakh yojanas under the Chief called Mehatidikh who had seven sons and the Kingship was surrounded by Seven major Mountains and Seven Rivers with the traits typical of Treta Yuga. Its inhabitants pray to Bhagavan Vishnu in the form of Chandra Deva. Compared to the salty taste of Sea water between Jambudwipa and Plaksha Dwipa, the taste was of Ikshu in the of intermediate region of Plaksha and Shalmala whose Chief was Vapushman and the latters's size was double that of Plaksha. Here again there are seven mountains with mines of jewels / precious stones and seven Rivers and in this Dwipa Lord Vishnu is prayed in the form of Vayu Deva. Like in Plaksha Dwipa, the inhabitants of Salmala too, Varnashrama is followed and the colours of persons in these Varnas are Kapila, Aruna, Peeta and Krishna are for Brahmanas, Kshatriyas, Vaisyas and Sudras respectively. Sura Samudra earmarks the inter-region of Salmala and Kusha Dwipa whose size was double that of Salmala and Kusha's King is Jyotishman and the inhabitants are human beings practicing Varanashrama as also Daityas, Danavas, Devatas, Gandharvas, Yakshas, Kinnaras and a great mix of Brahma's creation. They all pray to the Multi Faced Janradana, Ghrita Samudra (Classified Butter) partitions the Kusha and Krouncha Dwipas; the size of the Krouncha is double that of Kusha. Rituman is the King of Krouncha where again Varnashrama is observed and the counter-part Varnas are Pushkala, Pushkara, Dhanya and Khyata corresponding to Brahmanas etc. Rudra Swarupa Janardana is the Deity revered in this Dwipa. Between Krauncha and Shaka Dwipas is the Dadhimandoda Samudra and the King of Shaka is Mahatma Bhavya, again with Seven Mountains and Seven Major Rivers as also seven Princes, where Siddhas and Gandharvas inhabit. Maga, Mahadha, Manasa and Mandaga are the corresponding Chaturvarnas. All the inhabitants of this Dwipa pray to Surya Swarupi Vishnu. From Shaka to Pushkara, the intermediate Samudra is of Ksheera and Pushkara which is double of Shaka is size is headed by Stravana and since it is a huge Dwipa, the King divided it to Mahavira Varsha and Dhataki varsha and the sons of the King awarded the two in their names after the two parts under his over-all control. These territories are mainly inhabited by human beings who have longevity of ten thousand years, devoid of illnesses and worries and of jealousies, fears, egos and crookedness; these humans as superior as Devas and Daityas and they are all devoid of Varnashrama as all the inhabitants are of equal status. The dividing line of Pushkara is surrounded by sweet water atop of which is Lokaloka Parvata, beyond which is stated to be of complete darkness; in fact, the Border of Pushkara of ten thousand yojanas, there were neither species nor life].

Sarga Forty Three: Sugriva explains the significance of the northern direction for Sitanveshana under the leadership of Shatabali of several 'vaanara veeraas'

[Vishleshana on Manasa Sarovara

Janmoushadhi tapomantra yoga siddhairetaraih, Jushtam kinnaragandharvair – apsarobhi vritam sadaa/(Only blessed persons who are Siddhas and Tapodhanas, Parama Yogis, besides Kinnara, Gandharva, Apsaras and such Celestial Beings could have their abodes at Manasarovara). Hari Vamsha which is a component of Skanda Purana makes a detailed reference to this outstanding Maha Tirtha and an unparalleled Sidhha Kshetra) Manasarovar waters are crystal clear of bluish tinge and the Lake is of the shape of an egg stated to have spread over some 15 km. This is one of the Fifty One Shakti Peethas where the right wrist bracelets of Devi Sati's 'jeerna sharir' fell as Lord Vishnu's Sudarsham Chakra sliced off the body parts at the Daksha Yagna so that Maha Deva's fury would otherwise have continued at the sight of the body. The Devi at this Shakti Peetha is known as Gayatri and Maha Bhairava is called Sarvanand. In this heavenly Lake, thousands of swans fly along and across, some of crystal white colour stated to be 'Raja Hamsas' or Royal White Compexion and the rest of off-white colour. It is believed that at times, natural pearls too are available in the sweet and none too chilled cold waters of the Celestial Lake with plenty of multi-coloured stones and prism like pebbles. There is not much of greenery on the banks and in fact not many trees and flowers up the Mount. Mount Kailas is about 12 km up the Mansarovara. Even while appoaching the Kailash Dham, one can have its darshan from a distance but the Dham becomes clearer from Kungarivingari Shikhar or top of Jouhar Marg if the clouds are not obstructing the view. The people of Tibet are full of devotion to the Dham and swear to complete Parikrama of the 20 km.circumference by 'sashtangas' or prostrations and heatfelt 'namaskaras' all the way.Like Lord Shri Rama at Saketa at the Ayodhya Dham, Goloka's Vajra dhaam of Bhagavan Shri Krishna as described in great detail in Brahma Purana as also Maha Deva delineated vividly in Shiva Purana and Skanda Purana, Parama Shiva's abode is Kailasa Dham on the unique Kailasa Mount; indeed this view among the Himalaya Shikhiras is stated to be unusually distinct and unparalleled! The description of Kailasa Mount is akin to that of the Virat Shiva Linga just as the center of a Lotus with sixteen petals all around as the 'Shikhar Madhya Shringa' or the raised horn of the Mount being the centre of literally counted as fourteen Shringas. In fact the central Shringa commands spontaneous awe, vibration and arresting attentiveness subdued by ecstasy and fullness of fulfillment. As 'abhishakas' or holy baths on the 'Linga Mastaka' are led into Gauri kunda. This Maha Linga Swarupa Maha Deva is of Black Stone and its sides are all covered with layers of iced milk. This mountain alone stands out as black but all the surrounding mountains are raw brownish. Kailasa Parikrama of 20 km. is possible within three days but perhaps reaching Kailasha Shikhir of the height of 19000 ft fromSea level is worthy of endeavour by dare devil- mountaineers!]

Sarga Forty Five: While despatching the four directional Vaanara Sena, the text of Sugriva's encouraging remarks were as follows:
[Vishleshana on Agastya Maharshi and the reason for being ever residing in the Southern Bharata]

[Vishleshana on Agastya Maharshi and the reason for being ever residing in the Southern Bharata:

The mischievous Brahmarshi Narada provoked Vindhya Mountain creating misunderstanding against Meru Parvata around which Surya Deva circumambutates and the insignificance of its existence and encouraged Vindhya to keep growing exceeding Meru's height. As Vindhya kept higher and higher, there were obvious limitations of Meru facing its circumambulations around Surya Deva causing the days and nights in the two parts of the universe. Lord Indra approached Agasthaya Maharshi the Preceptor of Vindhya Mountain and complained. Agastya smiled and asked his wife Lopamudra and his sons Bhringi and Achyuta to pack up as the would shift their residence southward. But since his desciple Meru blocked the passage, Agastya asked Meru to bend making way for their passage and eversince neither Meru could

grow up and up, nor Agastya could cross beyond Vindhyas to maintain the natural balance and the free movement of Meru around Surya as usual.]

Sarga Fifty Six: Gridhra Raja Sampaati arrives and frightens Vanaras initially but on hearing about the noble deed of 'Sitaanveshana' makes friends - Sampaati then hears of Ravana's killing of Jatayu, his younger brother.

[Vishleshana on Sampaati the elder brother of Jatayu vide Sarga 14 of Essence of Valmilki Araanya Ramayana for ready reference:

Kashyapa Prajapati had eight wives and these were Aditi-Diti-Danu-Kaalka-Taamra-Krodhavasha-Manu-and Anala. Aditi gave birth to Twelve Adityas-Twelve Vasus-Eleven Rudras and Two Ashvini Kumars, besides thirty three Devatas. Diti gave birth to Daityas and the controlled aranyas-samudras and the entire Earth! Danu gave birth to Ashvagreeva while Kaalka Devi to two sons viz. Naraka and Kaalaka. Devi Tamra gave birth to five kanyas viz. Krounchi-Bhaasi-Shyeni- Dhritaraashtri and Shuki. Of these, Krounchi gave birth to owls- Bhaasi gave birth to Bhaasi birds-Shyeni to bat birds- and Dhritaraashtra to hamsaas and kala hamsaas or swans. Chakravaakamscha Bhadram te vijagjne saapi Bhaamini, Shukee nataam vigagine tu Nataayaam Vinataa sutaa/ Shri Rama! Bhamini Dhritaraashta also yielded chakravaka birds while Tamara's youngest daughter Shukee was born kanya named Nataa and the latter was born Devi Vinata. Then Devi Krodhavasha gave birth to ten kanyas viz. Mrigi-Mrigamanda-Hari-Bhadramada-Maatangi-Shardooli-Shweta-Surabhi-Surasa and Kadruka. Shri Rama!Mrigi's progeny are Mrigas and Mrigamanda's generation were Riksha-Srumara and Chamara. Bhadramada gave birth to Iravati and the latter son was the famed Iraavata Gaja Raja. Then Hari's santaana were Hari the Lion-Tapasvi- and Golaangula or Langoor. Further Krodhavasha's daughter was Shardulini and the latter's son was Vyaghra. Maatangi's progeny was Matanga or elephant while Shveta gace birth to Diggaja. Krodhavasha's daughter Surabhi gave birth to daughters Rohini and Gandharvi. Rohini gave birth to cows and Gandharvini to horses. Surasa's children are Nagaas while Kadru's were Pannagaas. Now Manu yet another wife of Kashyapa were chaturvarna maanavaas of Brahmana-Kshatriya-Vaishya and the Lower class, mukhato brāhmanā jātā urasah ksatriyās tathā, ūrubhyām jajñire vaiśyāḥ padbhyām śūdrā iti śrutiḥ/ From the face were born brahmanas- the heart the kshatriyas- both the thighs the vaishyas and fron the thighs the lower class. Anala gave birth to trees-Taamra putri viz Shukhi and the latter's grand daughter was Vinata and Kadru was Surasa's sister. Kadru produced thousand types of 'naagaas' and Vinata created two famed sons Garuda and Aruna. tasmāj jāto 'ham arunāt sampātiś ca mamāgrajah, jatāyur iti mām viddhi śyenīputram arimdama/ so 'ham vāsasahāyas te bhavisyāmi yadīcchasi, sītām ca tāta raksisye tvayi yāte salaksmaņe/ jatāyusam tu pratipūjya rāghavo; mudā parisvajya ca samnato 'bhavat; pitur hi śuśrāva sakhitvam ātmavāñ; jaṭāyuṣā samkathitam punaḥ/ Raghuveera! From that Vinataanandana Aruna, I was born and so did my elder brother Sampaati and in short my name is Jataayu! I am the son of Shyenka. May I be of any help in creating an ashram for you or to protect Devi Sita in the absence of you and Lakshmana!' So saying Jatayu offered any kind of service to Ramas wholeheartedly]

Sarga Fifty Seven: Angada places the badly hurt body of Sampaati from the mountain top and describes the details of Jatayu as killed by Ravanaasura- Rama Sugriva friendship- Vaali's death- and his 'aamarana upavaasa'

[Brief Vishleshana on Riksha Raja the father of Vaali-Sugrivas]

[Brief Vishleshana Riksha Raja the father of Vaali-Sugrivas: The background was that the father of Vaali Sugrivas was Rriksha Raja who once bathed in a nearby pond and was surpised himself to have a female form. At the same time, Indra and Surya Deva got infatuated with her and Vaali was born of Indra and Sugriva of Surya. Vaali made rigorous tapasya to Brahma and secured the boon of invincibility.

Sugriva being very scared of Vaali made sure in course of his friendship with Rama that Vaali did of piercing through a tree from far distance in one shot but Rama broke seven such trees in a row.]

Sarga Sixty and Sixty One: Sampaati's interaction with his preceptor 'Nishakara Rishi' and explains as to how the wings of both his and his brother Jatayu's wings were burnt in a competition with Surya in the latter's triloka parikrama!

[Vishleshana on Surya Deva's bhu -pradakshina: Sources Vishnu Purana and Matsya Purana]

[Vishleshana on Surya Deva's bhu -pradakshina: Sources Vishnu Purana and Matsya Purana

Vishnu Purana: Surya Deva's chariot occupies an area of nine thousand yojanas and twice is the area of its 'Ishaa Danda' or the area between the 'Juuva' or Yugaartha and the 'Ratha'. The chariot is drawn by Seven Chhandas or Horses viz. Gayatri, Brihati, Ushnik, Jagati, Trishthup, Anushthup and Pankti. Actually, Suryodaya and Suryastaya are mere concepts since he is constant and stable; counting from the East of Manasottrara Mountain, the Kaala- Chakras on Eastward to Indra, Southward to Yamaloka, west weard to Varuna loka and northward to Chandraloka and the Head quarters of Indra, Yama, Varuna and Chandrarespectively are Vasvoukasaara, Samyamani, Sukhaa and Vibhayari. In otherwords, along with Jyotish Chakra, Bhagavan Bhanu is seen rushing Southward. By mid day, he is fully visible at Indraloka followed by the other lokas prescribedviz. Yama-Varuna and Chandra and by the next morning again repeats its course. Udayaastamaney chaiva Sarvakaalam tu Sammukhey, Vidishaasu twashyshasu tathaa Brahman dishaasucha/ Yairyatra drushyatey Bhaaswaansa teshaamudayah smrutah, Tirobhavam chayatraiti tatraiyaastamanam Raveyh/ (Sunrise and Sunset thus occur at the same position, since persons at the various Dishas-Vidishaas or Directions-Sub Directions witness the constant Surya Deva as they move and vision morning- mid day-evening-night and again morning and so on in the reverse movement!). Hence Sun Rise and Sunset are regulated to East and West; actually the manner in which Sun shines in the East, he also shines in the reverse; he is stated to stay put at Brahma Sabha and in the process of revolution of Kala Chakra, Dishas and Vidishas get lit or get dark and the lighten portion of the Universe become the day and the darkened areas get the night positions. Kudaala chakra paryanto bhramannesha Divaakarah, Karostahastathaa raatrim vimunmodineem Dwija/ (Hey Dwija! Just as a potter rotates a wheel, Sun and Earth witness parts of ay and nights). From the time of Chakra's start of the revolution from the lowest point of the wheel towards the North is called Uttarayana and Surya is stated to be visible in Makara Raashi, followed by Kumbha Raashi and further on to Meena Raashi. As the three Raashis are over, the duration of day and night become equivalent or in other words, Sun passes through Bhu-Madhya Rekha. Thereafter, the duration of day time starts increasing and that of nights dwindling. Subsequently, Mesha, Vrisha and Mithuna Raashis pass over; at the end of Mithuna Raashi as Karka Raashi is entered into then Surva's direction changes from North to the Southern Direction and that phase is called Dakshinaayana. Just as a person tends to speed up descent from the top to the bottom, the speed of Kala Chakra gets picked up by the velocity of Vayu /wind and thus the duration of time quickens; during Dakshinaayana, the day time is stated to take thirteen and half revolutions of Nakshtras around Surya which is normally performed within twelve Muhurtas(thirty muhurthas make a day-night); but during the night time, the speed slows down and takes eighteen Muhurthas. During Uttarayana, Surva's speed quickens in the nights and slows down during the days and vice versa. Another conclusion is that during the Sandhya timings viz. Vyushti / Prabhat of day -breaks and Usha or night falls, the Vyashti time is of Brahma Swarupa Omkara and Gayatri and who ever worships Gayatri at that time with 'jala' would destroy the Rakshasaas; if they further recite the Mantra viz. Suryo Jyotih as the first Aahuti of Agnihotra they would be awakening and enlightening Surya Deva; thereafter: Omkaaro Bhagavan Vishnustridhaamaa vachasaam patih, Tadyucchaaranatastey tu yaanti Raakshasaah/ Vaishavomshah Parah Suryo yontarjyotirasaplavam, Abhidhaayaka Omkaarastasya tatprerakah parah/Tena SampreritamJyotiromkaaranaatha deeptimat, Dahatya sesha Rakshaamsi Mandehaa-khyaanyadhaani vai/ Tasmaannollinghanam Kaaryam Sandhyopaasana karmanah, Sa hanti Suryam Sandhyaayaa

nopaastim kurtutev tu yah//(The mere recitation of Omkaara Vishwam-Tejo Prajna Rupam-Tridhama Yuktam-Vishnum-Vedaadhipatim would destroy Raakshasaas. The Inner Radiance of Nirvikara Vishnu is Surya: Omkara is his Vaachaka and is the instant prompter of terminating Rakshasaas. Prompted by the Omkara, that Jyoti called Vishnu gets into full action in blistering Mandea-called Rakshasas; that is the reason why the Sandhyopaasana Karma should never ever be neglected!) Sishumara Chakra / Jyotisha Chakra: On the Sky, one could find a dolphin like formation of a Starry Design at the tail of which is Dhruva, who rotates on its own axis and also induces the rotation around Chandra, Surya, other Planets as also Nakshatras as well; in fact, all the Planets and Stars get hooked to Dhruva by the force of Vayu. Sishumara is the hinge of Sarveshwara Narayana tied on to Dhruva and further clutched to Surya. Sishumara is coiled with its head down, Ashvini Kumars at its feet,; Varuna and Aryama are at thighs, Mitra at the anus; Agni, Mahendra, Kashyapa and Dhruva at its tail; on the top of the tail is Prajapati, Sapta Rishis at the hip position; body skin pores with Nakshatras; Upper chin as Agasti, lower chin as Yama; Mars as its mouth; genitals Saturn, Guru as neck back; Surya as chest; Moon as mind; Venus as navel; heart as Narayana Himself; life air as Mercury and so on. Rahu and Ketu the Sub-Heavenn Planets are right under Surya Deva. Surya attracts water from various sources for eight months in a year and facilitates rains for four months a year and rains enable crops of food and fodder for all the Beings. Surva also enables the upkeep of Chandra and the latter in turn produces 'Abhra'by interacting with Vayu further creating Dhooma (Steam) produced by Agni and Sky leading to Meghas or clouds. As per the Time schedule prescribed by Vidhaa, 'Abhra Jala' as preserved in the clouds is released pure water with the help of Vayu onto Bhumi. Surya Deva attracts water from four main sources viz. Rivers, Samudra, various water-bodies fron Bhumi, and Pranis. The Akasha Ganga attracted by Surya Deva would straight away release the water by way of rains from clouds without the process of transformation to 'Abhras' afore-mentioned. Needless to say that the water by way of rains as per the above process, is like Amrit or the Principal and Unparalleled source of Life for the production of food grains, Aoushadhis, Yagnas, and worships besides and countless various deeds. Thus, Aharabhutah Savitru Dhruvo Muni varotthama! Dhruvasya Shishimaarosow sopi Narayanatmakah/ (The main Adhara of Surya is Dhruva and Dhruva is dependent on Narayana and Narayana is settled in Sishumaara!)

Matsya Purana: Surya-Chandra Gati Varnana: (Some intersting facts): Both Surya and Chandra cover daily the Seven Dwipas(Jambu, Plaksha, Salmaali, Kusha, Krouncha, Shaka and Pushkala); Sapta Samudras (Lavana or Salt, Ikshurasa or Sugarcane juice, Sura or Wine, Ghrita or Classified Butter, Dahi or Curd, Ksheera or Milk and Suswada or Sweet Water); and Sapta Parvatas (Sumru, Kailas, Malaya, Himalaya, Udyachala, Agastyachala, Suvela and Gandhamadana). Normally Surya Deva covers trilokas each day. Surya Mandala as defined by Veda Vyaasa is nine thousand vojanas and the total circumference is stated to be 27000 yojanas. Prithvi's mandala is stated to be fifty crore yojanas. One half of this is spread north to Meru Parvata and by half of Meru Parvata on four sides one crore yojanas is stated to to be spread over. Half of Prithvi is stated to spread nine lakh fifty thousand yojanas. Now the four sided spread of all the four directions is stated as three crore vojanas. This is what the sapta dwipaas and sapta samudras which occuppies the spread of earth. The surrounding area of Prithvi known as 'braahma mandala' is thrice larger than that of Prithvi. Thus the area of Prithvi plus works out to eleven crore and thirty three lakh yojanas! Now the account of earth and the 'antariksha'. The area of the Sky as contained by that of nakshatraas is what Prithvi is occupied. In other words, what ever is the area of Prithvi is that of 'antariksha'. Now the Jyotirgana Prachaara: and Meru Parvata: To the east of Meru Parvata, atop the Manasarovara mountain, there exists Vasvaikasaara named Mahendra Nagara made of gold. Again to the south of Meru Parvata's back side, there is Manasaparvata and the Samyamani Pura where Lord Yama the illustrious son of Surya Deva resides. To the west of Meru parvata, on the west of Manasaparvata atop Sukha Purawhere Varuna Deva resides. To the north of Meru Parvata atop the Mahendra parvata, Vibhavari Pura where Chandra Deva resides. Behind the Manasotara on the four sides, the Ashta Dik Loka Paalakas are placed to protect Dharma and in the dakshinaayana period, Surya Deva oversees the activities of the Ashta Palakas during his period. Now, about the dakshinayana the travel of Surya; in the iyotishchakra in his pradakshina, He reaches Amaravati the capital of Indra Deva by the midday on earth;

that would be when it coincides with Yama Raja's rising time, in Chandra's mid night time and so on. As Surya performs pradakshina or self-circumam -bulation, he also does the same to nakshatras too do likewise. Precisely at the 'udaya' and 'astama' timings he does exactly the same year in and year out. At the Sun Rise he gradually increases his radiance till the afternoon and gradually reduces his tejas till the dusk time. In this way, Surva Deva performs pradakshina or circubambulation of self and so do the nakshatra mandali too. These all travel southward and at the rise and setting timings are defined as also at the poorvaahna and aparaahna or pre noon and afternoon they pass through two each of Deva puris and at the noon time, one Devapuri. Thus Surya from the rise gains momentum of radiance till afternoon and gradually lessens the severity of the kiranas thereafter till Sun set. Surva has the constant awareness of he 'udaya' and 'astamaya' at the east and west directions; while radiating the eastern side, spreading the heat and illumination on the sidewise north and south and decreasing the severity till disappearance. Meru Parvata is stated to be situated in the north of the highest of all the mountains; Lokaaloka is situated in the southern direction and since Prithvi's shadows are spread over, those Beings situated on the other side of the hemisphere are unable to Surva in the nights. Thus Surva Deva with a lakh of kiranas reaches the mid portion of 'Pushkaradwipa' by that time, despite his speed of one 'muhurta' or two ghadis at the rate of one thirty lakh and fifty thousand yojanas plus! Thus Surya Deva as he traverses southward for six months turns to uttarayana or northbound. At the time of Dakshinaayana, Surya would have reached the travel to the mid portion of Pushkara dwipa. This dwipa is as thrice as distant from Mru to Manasarovara! Now the distance on the southern course or Dakshinayana is of nine crore fifty lakh yojanas. After the dakshinayana, Surya reaches the Vishuva sthaana or the 'khagoleeya vishuvadvritta bindu' at the north of Ksheera sagara. Vishvan mandala parinama is three cores twenty one lakh yojanas. As Surya's course gets north bound or uttarayana entering'shravana nakshatra', then his course would be towards gomoda dwipa in between the south and north parts and in between are located jaradrava - Iravata to the north and Vaishvanara to the south. Towards north is named Naaga veedhi and to the south is the Ajaveedhi. The nakshatras of Purvaashadha-Uttaraashadha-Mula are known as 'ajvithis' and abhijit, shravana and swaati are naagavithis. Ashvini, Bharani and Krittika are aslo naagavithis and so also Rohini-Ardra and Mrigashira. Pushya, Shlesha and Punarvasu ate called Iravati veethi. Purvaphalguni, Uttara phalguni and Magha are arshabhi yeedhi. Purvabhadra, Uttataabhadra and Revati are of Goveedhi, while Shrayana, Dhanishtha and Shatabhisha are of jagadveethi. Chitra and Swati are again of ajaveedhi, Jyrshtha, Vishaka and Anuraadha are of Mriga veedhi again. During Uttarayana samaya, the speed of Surya is slower and the nights are of longer duration and vice versa. Shishumaara Chakra: On the 'akaasha mandala' or the sky line, in between the space of fourteen nalshatras, there is the shishumaaraka chakra inside which is the son of King Uttanapaada viz. the eternal Dhruva. This Dhruva Nakshatra moves around in a circular manner and along with the concerned Grahas as also Surya and Chandra. Nakshatra Ganas too move around in circular fashion behind the Dhruva Nakshatra. As Dhruva is controlled by 'Jyotirgana' and 'Vayurgana', he is free to take his 'manasika sankalpa' for performing his 'bhramana' or selfpradakshina. However, he is influenced by various considerations such as jyotirgana bheda, yoga, kaala nischaya, asta, udaya, utpaaa, Uttaraayana-Dakshinaayana gamana, vishuvat rekhaapara sthiti, graha varnana and such considerations enable Dhruva's decision. Now, those clouds which afford life to Beings are called 'Jeemuta Meghas'; such jeemutas are normally impacted by 'vayus' which are distanced by a vojana or two; the resultant interaction of the jeemutas and the vayus create 'maha vrishti' or the substantial rains. It is stated that in the days of yore, quite a few huge mountains used to fly from place to place with their wings carrying dark clouds repete with clouded waters so that Beings starved of rains on earth were satisfied with the rains at those places. But the advantage of carrying water was far outweighed by the havoc created on earth due to the flying mountains and as such Lord Indra cut off the wings. Consequently the mutilated wings of the mountains create havors of excessive rains with thunders and pralaya situations consequently causing floods and innumerable water flows of speed and noise! Indeed Vayu is the life energy. Entire 'Brahmanda' came into place as the 'Aja' or the Self Manifested Brahma came out bursting out from the 'anda kapaala' or egg shell with the interaction of fierce wind and clouds. Brahma was also 'Jalajaataasana' or seated by the water base. Among the base material besides Vayu and Jala - naamaka- parjanya- meghas Brahma created further Iravata-Vaamana-Anjana and four Diggjas.

Elephants, mountains, clouds and serpents are of the same 'kula' or likeness of upbringing and likewise of water, clouds, rains; just as to enable the growth of foodgrains one calls tushara or snow in hemanta ritu or winter. In any case it is undisputed that Surya is the cause of 'vrishti' or rains. In this world, rains, Sun shine, ice, days and nights, sandhya kalaas, Shubha and Ashubhakaryas are basically regulted by Dhruva. Dhuruva regulates water which is received by Surya. It is due to water that wind or praana vayu that Sthaavara Jngamas or the mobile and immobile exist due to. Thus there is a chain reaction in which Prakriti's mobility is sustained.]

Sarga Sixty Five: As Angada asked select Vanara yoddhhas of their ability to cross and return, individual responses were heard- then Jambavan recommends Veera Hanuman for this impossible and daring act.

Vishleshana of Vamana's Virat Swarupa from Vaamana Purana

Vishleshana of Vamana's Virat Swarupa from Vaamana Purana:

Vamana Murti displayed his Virat Swarupa: Chandra and Surya were his two Eyes, Shy was his head, Prithvi his feet, Pishachaas were his foot-fingers, Gruhyakaas were his hand fingers, Vishwa Deva Ganaas were in his jaanus /knees,Sadhyas were his janghaas, Yakshaas were his nails, Apsarsaas were his palm lines, Nakshatras were his Eye sight, Surya kiranas were his hairs, Stars were his body hairs, Maharshiganaas were in the hair roots, Vidishas were his hands, Dishaas were his ears, Ashwini Kumars were his faculty of hearing, Vayu was his nose, Chandra Deva was his joking faculty, Dharma Deva was his thinking capacity, Satya was his voice and Saraswati was his tongue, Deva Mata Aditi was his neck, Vidya was his valiyaas or long poles; Pushas were his eye brows, Swarga dwar was his anus, Vaishvanara his face, Prajapati his vrushanaas, Param Brahma was his heart, Kashyapa Muni was his Pumstwa, Vasu Devata was his back, Marutganaas were his Sandhis, Rudra was his Vakshasthala, Mahaarnavaa was his Dhairya, Gangharvas were in his stomach; Lakshmi, Medha, Dhruti, Kaanti and all Vidyaas were in his 'Kati Pradesha'; the luster and radiance in the total Universe as also the Tapo teja or the power of meditation was the reflection of the magnificence of Natayana; Vedas and Sciptures and the huge Yagnaas and the Sacred Deeds of the Virtuous like Maharshis and Brahmanas were all inside in his 'kukshi' or belly. On viewing the Paramatma's 'Virat Swarupa', the so called 'Mahaasuraas' referred to earlier in ignorance by Chakravarti Bali before Prahlada's curse to him got burnt off like flies before a gigantic out berak of Fire! Having thus occupied the Universe in totality including the sub-terrain Sapta Paatalaas, Vamana Deva stated that since Bali took the water in his hand and donated the THREE FEET of Land, and blessed him to be the King of the Sapta Paatalaas and granted him long life till the and of Manvantara of the on-going Vaisawata Manu.]

ESSENCE OF VALMIKI SUNDARA RAMAYANA

Sarga One: Veera Hanuman leaps off the Ocean towards Ravana's Lanka, gets welcomed on way by Mainaka, encounters Surasa and subdues, kills Simhika, and enjoys the aerial view of Lanka [Vishleshanas 1) on Anjaneya's self confidence to cross the Maha Sagara, his decisiveness as expressed by himself vide Sarga 67 of Kishkindha Ramayana 2) Vishleshana on Sagara Chakravarti: as sourced from [Vishleshana on Anjaneya's self confidence to cross the Maha Sagara, his decisiveness as expressed by himself vide Sarga Sixty Seven of Kishkindha Ramayana as follows: '

Veera Hanuman stood amidst the Vaanaras and addressed them especially the elderly Vanara Vriddhas thus: 'I am of the strength and speed of Vaayu Deva , my originator and am possessive of endless energy. Vayu Deva is a great friend of Agni Deva! I am blessed with the might of destryoing mountains to pieces. Being the step son of Vayu Deva, my single jump could cross Maha Samudras. I could perform thousand

parikramas of the thousand yojana spread of Maha Meru Parvata. bāhuvegapranunnena sāgarenāham utsahe, samā -plāvayitum lokam saparvatanadīhradam/ mamorujanghāvegena bhavisyati samutthitah, sammūrchitamahāgrāhah samudro varuņālayah/ pannagāśanam ākāśe patantam pakṣisevitam, vainateyam aham śaktah parigantum sahasraśah/ With the unimaginable might of my shoulders and hands, I could splash and pound the high waves of Maha Samudras, and create devastation and mahem of high mountains. Lord Varuna's nivasa of Sapta Sagaras [Sapta Samudras: Lavana or Salt, Ikshurasa or Sugarcane juice, Sura or Wine, Ghrita or Classified Butter, Dahi or Curd, Ksheera or Milk and Suswada or Sweet Water] could be violently shaken to distress. Vaanara vriddhaas! Like Maha Veera Garuda the elder son of Vinata Devi is in the habit of 'akaasha parikrama' and my ability is such that I could comfortably perform such parikramas by thousand times. I could follow Surya Deva in his regular daily pradakshinas from Udayaagiri to the Astamaagiri! utsaheyam atikrāntum sarvān ākāśagocarān, sāgaram kşobhayişyāmi dārayişyāmi medinīm/ parvatān kampayişyāmi plavamānah plavamgamāh, harişye coruvegena plavamāno mahārṇavam/ Surely I have the capacity and aptitude to cross ahead of Nava Grahas, dry up oceans, destroy mountains, and keep jumping across the universe! buddhyā cāham prapaśyāmi manaś cestā ca me tathā, aham draksyāmi vaidehīm pramodadhyam playamgamāh/ mārutasya samo vege garuḍasya samo jave, ayutam yojanānām tu gamiṣyāmīti me matiḥ/ vāsavasya savajrasya brahmano vā svayambhuvaḥ, vikramya sahasā hastād amṛtam tad ihānaye, lankām vāpi samutksipya gaccheyam iti me matih/ Vaanaras! As I apply my mind and cogitate, so do the circumstances and conditions too shape up likewise. My decisiveness right now is to see Videha Kumari's immediate darshan; now, you folks! Enjoy now and rejoice with very quick and most positive results and sweet fruits. I am only comparable to Vayu Deva and Garuda Deva; my strong belief and firm conviction at present is that I could comfortably undertake a rapid run of ten thousand yojanas of distance by air! Believe me my friends, right now, my morale and enthusiasm is such that I could seize and secure 'amrit' from the hands of Vajradhaari Indra or even Svayambhu Brahma Deva himself! Of which avail is, after all, pulling and uprooting the Kingdom Ravanasur's Lanka!' As Veera Hanuman assured thumping success from his tour of Lanka and back, the huge mass of Vaanaras paid sky high tributes, clappings, and victory shoutings of feverish rejoicings. Then commenced 'Swasti Vachanaas' and high tributes to the hero stating: ṛṣṇām ca prasādena kapivṛddhamatena ca,gurūṇām ca prasādena plavasva tvam mahārṇavam/ sthāsyāmaś caikapādena yāvadāgamanam tava, tvadgatāni ca sarveṣām jīvitāni vanaukasām/ 'Maha Vanara Anjaneya! May you carry with you in your epic like tour by crossing the Maha Sagara with memorable success and safe return the heart felt blessings of Maharshis, Gurus, Elders and friends. We would all await your successful travel and very fruitful return; do trust us that your suucess would provide us all a fresh lease of our lives.' Hanuman replied: As I would now jump and cross the Samudra, be assured that in the universe none could ever imitate. My initial jump would be to the top of Mahendra Parvata which is replete with trees bearing juicy and sweet fruits.' Thus, the Maha Kapeshvara reached, selected a few luscious fruits, enjoyed them relaxingly and remebered of Lanka fotthwith for the subsequent jump forward.] Maha Bhagavata Purana]

Sarga Two: Description of Lankapuri's beauty, thoughts about the size in which he shoud enter the interiors of the city and on the description Chandrodaya.

[Vishleshanas on a) Bilwa Swarga of Maga Nagas b) Kubera

a) Renowned as Bilwa Swarga, the lokas underneath the Seas occupy as much an area as Prithvi; the span of Earth is seventy thousand yojanas, height too is as much. The expanse of Patalas too is as much; these lokas are Atala, Vitala, Nitala, Sutala, Talatala, Rasatala and Patalas and each of these lokas has an expanse of ten thousand yojanas. The colour of these lokas is black, white, yellow, red, grey and golden respectively. The inhabitants of these lokas are Daityas, Danvaas and Nagas. Having visited these lokas, Brahmarshi Narada called these Patalas as Bilwa Swarga and even better than Swarga. These lokas enjoy

extreme illumination from the 'Manis' (diamonds) on the hoods of the Nagas; Narada said: the powerful rays of Surya Deva provide radiance but not heat during the days, while Chandra Deva gives brightness but not too much of coldness. The inhabitant serpents and Daityas revel in themselves with festivities and luxurious delicacies of food, wine and intoxication for long hours of time without concerns and worries. They enjoy good time by way of swims in Sarovaras, rivers and lotus-ponds and deal with all kinds of valuable possessions. Underneath these Lokas shines Bhagavan Vishnu's 'Tamoguna Rupa' as Sesha Naga named as Anantha, worshipped by Siddhas, Devatas, Devarshis and Daityas alike. Lying under the entire Universe, the mighty Sesha Deva bears the brunt of the Prithvi and the 'Charaachara Jagat'. (Brahmanada Purana)

b) Kubera: Vishrava was the father of Kubera. He married Kaikesi, the stepmother of Ravanasura, Kumbhakarna, Vibhishana and Surpananakha. Ravana after acquiring a boon from Brahma Deva drove away Kubera and seized Pushpaka Vimana which Kubera recovered only after Ravana's death in Shri Rama's hands. Kubera was stated to have settled on Gandhamadana Mountain at Alkapuri, the city of Treasures and had a grove called Chaitraratha where the leaves were of jewels and the flowers and fruits were of celestial s and angels, besides a charming lake called Nalini. Kubera is stated to be the Chief of Ashta Diks or eight directions and Ashta Loka Palakas viz. Indra, Agni, Yama, Nirruti, Varuna, Vayu, Kubera and Ishana. Kubera, the King of Yakshas and Unparallelled Possessor of Gems and Jewels has two Shaktis Viriddhi and Riddhi as his spouses and his Generals Manibhadra, Purnabhadra, Maniman, Manikandhara, Manisvargi, Manibhushana and Manikar Muktadhari. There is an inresting reference about how Ganesha had overtaken Kubera's pride vide Ganesha Purana:

By His very name, Vinayaka is a Jnaana Swarupa or the Symbol of Wisdom and Knowledge. Yet, any third party seeking to exhibit their own supremacy - especially by Devas, He could hardly stomach the false superiority. Lord Kubera the King of Yakshas once hosted a lavish feast and among other dignitaries called on Shiva and Parvati; the noblest couple responded that due to their preoccupations, they might have to regret but would ably deputise Lord Ganesha. At the scheduled time and day, all the Devas arrived and Ganesha too. Kubera was so happy as streams of Deva ganas were arriving at Alkapuri and felt proud of himself. Ganesha too arrived and showed off condescendingly remarking to other dignitaries nearby that Parvati Parameshvaras were busy and deputed Vinayaka instead. Then the dinner commenced with great pomp, while the invitees had thouroughly enjoyed the nine course dinner. Meanwhile however Ganesha whose appetite was unending made thousands of servers kept their beelines gasping and tottering the supply lines. As the three crore strong Deva Ganas were bemused witnessing the failure of lakhs of servers and cooks alike, Kubera was put to shame and ran to Parameshvara couple to Kailasha with a a fist ful cooked rice by way of his offering to the illustrious Universal Parents of Maha Deva and Maha Devi. Ganesha with dissatisfied appetite too was already present there with His parents. The benign parents found a gasping Kubera running from Alkapuri to Kailasa cowed down and demoralised while prostrating Shiva- Parvati- and above all to Ganesha too.]

Sargas Seven and Eight: Description of Ravana Bhavana viz. Pushpaka Vimana-Hanuman witnesses the inside out of the Pushpaka Vimana - indeed it was surfiet with Sundara Kanyas

[Vishleshana on Maha Lakshmi's Ashta Swarupas:

Sumanasa vandita Sundari Maadhavi Chandra sahodari hemamaye, Muniganavandita moksha pradaayani manjula bhaashini Veda nute/ Pankajavaasini Deva supujita sadguna varshini Shaanti yute, Jaya Jay hey Madhusudana kaamini Adi Lakshmi sadaapaalaya maam/ Ayi kalikalmashanaashani Kaamini Vaidika Rupini Vedamaye, kshaara samudbhava Mangala Rupini Mantra vaasini Mantranute/ Mangala daayini Ambujavaasidi Devaganaashrita paadayute, Jajajaya he Madhusudanakaamini Dhaanya Lakshmi sadaa paalayamaam/ Jayavaravarnini Vaishnavi Bhargavi Mantra swarupini Mantramaye, Suragana pujita sheeghra phalaprada jnaana vikaasini Shaastranute/ Bhava bhaya haarini

Paapavimochani saadhu janaashrita paadayute, Jaya jaya he Madhusudana kaamini Dhairya Lakshmi sadaa paalaya maam/ Jaya Jaya durgati naashani Kaamini sarva phalaprada Shaastramaye, Radha Gaja Turuga Padaati samaavrita Parijana mandita Loka nute/ Hari Hara Brahma supujita sevita taapa nivaarana paadayute, Jaya Jaya hey Madhusudana kaamini, Gaja Lakshmi rupena paalayamaam/ Ayi Khaga vaahani Mohini Chakrini raaga vivardhini Jnaanamaye, Gunagana Vaaridhi Loka hitaishini swara sapta bhushita gaana nute/ Sakala Suraasura Deva Muneeswara Maanavavandita paada yute, Jaya Jaya he Madhusudana kaamini Santaana Lakshmi sadaa paalayamaam/ Jaya Kamalaasani sadgatidaayini Jnaana vikaasini gaana maye, Anudinamarchita kumkuma dhusara bhushita vaasita vaadyanute/ Kanaka dhaaraa stuti vaibhava vandita Shankara deshika maanya pade, Jaya Jaya hey Madhusudana kaamini, Vijaya Lakshmi sadaa paalaya maam/ Preeta Sureswari Bharati Bhargavi shoka vinaashani Ratna maye, Manimaya bhushita karna vibhushana kaanti samaavrita haasa mukhe/ Nava nidhidaayani kalimala haarini kaamita phalaprada hastayute, Jaya Jaya hey Madhusudana kaamini Vidya Lakshmi sadaa paalaya maam/ Dhimi dhimi dhindhimi dhindhimi dundhubhi naada supurnamaye, Ghuma ghuma ghinghuma Shankha ninaada suvaadyanute/ Veda Puranetihaasa supujita Vaidika maarga pradarsha -yute, Jaya Jaya hey Madhusudana Kaamini Dhana Lakshmi rupena paalayamaam/

Sarga Nine: In the process of 'Devi Sitaanveshana' in the Pushpaka Vimana in Ravana's residence, Hanuman witnessed countless 'strees' of youthful charm being playful inside; why had Ravana forcefully abducted Sita, despite his reputation of never forcing a woman but willingly married! [Vishleshanas a) on Maharshi Vasishtha and Kama Dhenu Shabala- b) Panchendriyas]

[Vishleshana on Maharshi Vasishtha and Kama Dhenu Shabala:

Maharshi Vasishtha welcomed King Vishvamitra and formaly offered fresh fruits and ground grown tubular vegetables and enquired of the happiness and general welfare of his subjects. Similarly the King enquired of the welfare of the Sage, and the inmates of the ashram. Then Vasishtha smilingly stated: ātithyam kartum icchāmi balasyāsya mahābala, tava caivāprameyasya yathārham sampratīccha me/ satkriyām tu bhavān etām pratīcchatu mayodyatām, rājams tvam atithiśresthah pūjanīyah prayatnatah/ Maharaja! May I offer appropriate lunch to you and your several follower armymen, as my duty is to provide 'atithya' as behoved of a King and followers. The King responded stating that the honours as from an ashram have been more than fulfilled already; more so it was time for his departure. But as the host insisted the King replied: bāḍham ity eva gādheyo vasiṣṭham pratyuvāca ha, yathā priyam bhagavatas tathāstu munisattama/ King Vishvamitra as per the insistence of Vasishtha Muni replied that he ought to obey the instruction of Maharshi Vasishtha. Then Vasishtha asked his 'mind born homa dhenu' named Shabali the celestial cow and requested that she might provide such food as would behove of a famed King and his countless followers. yasya yasya yathākāmam ṣaḍraseṣv abhipūjitam, tat sarvam kāmadhug divye abhivarsakṛte mama/ rasenānnena pānena lehyacosyena saṃyutam, annānām nicayam sarvam srjasva śabale tvara/ 'Divya Kamadhenu'! entreated Vasishtha, ' please get ready with 'shadrasa bhojana' of 'bhakshya-bhojya- lehya-choshya-paaneeya paramaannas' at the earliest!-- As Maharshi Vasishtha thus served excellent food to the King along with his entire army and retinue of queens and others too to their complete contentment, King Vishvamitra addressed Maharshi Vasishtha! gavām śatasahasrena dīyatām śabalā mama, ratnam hi bhagavann etad ratnahārī ca pārthivaḥ, tasmān me śabalām dehi mamaisā dharmato dvija/ Maharshi! Do accept the charity from my kingdom about a lakh of prize cows yielding barrels of fresh and sweet milk due to my being the overall king of my subjects. It is out of the same authority of my being the King of this kingdom again, let me exchange Shabala as per the established principle of kingship. Vasishtha replied: Just as a dharmika parayana could never be severed from his inner consciousness, I too could never be aloof from me since my 'havya-kavya kaaryas' in my daily routine would certainly get affected severely. My routine of agnihotra-bali-homa- swaahavashatkaara and all the practice of related vidyas should get adversely disturbed too in her absence. In short, my very existence is my possession of Shabala. King Vishvamitra then offered fourteen thousand elephants, eight hundred golden chariots each of which adorned with four each of mighty horses of

excellent nativity, in addition to which eleven thousand horses of the best possible parts of the contemporary kingdoms too, apart fron one crore cows of sweet milk bearing breed. Maharshi Vasishta declared: King Vishamitra! I will not part with Shabala as this is my jewel, my prosperity, my life and my totality! Sargas 52 and 53 of Valmiki Bala Ramayana]

Sarga Ten: In the process of searching for Devi Sita, Hanuman was confused by seeing Devi Mandodari to Devi Sita!

[Vishleshana on Devi Mandodari

Devi Mandodari was the daughter of Mayasura and Hema, a noted pativrata of the ranking of Ahalya, Tara, Anasuya, Sumati and Draupadi. She was reputed for faithfulness, selflessness, innocence, righteousness, besides of convincing capacity which of course failed in the case of her husband Ravana much as in the case of Tara. Her trait of carrying conviction was well proven as in the case of her own brothers named Mayavi and Dundubhi who were always at loggerheads. But her capability of gentleness, and honesty were stated to be unparalleled. Ravana was no doubt an admirable being, a glorious warrior, a reputed Shiva bhakta, excellent family background and a person of dharmic nature who never forced women to bed. But he failed in the case of Devi Sita as that faced his doom along with his followers. She pleaded her husband, who incidentally was younger to her husband, just as Devi Tara did to Vaali but failed. Indeed she had the rudimantary virtue of a proven Pativrata with the proverbial Puranic features of an ideal life partner being a servant like service, a mother like affection, an ever comforting woman of charm, beauty and kingly famiry origin with prosperity, besides dedication, humility, forgiveness, compassion and the patience as of Bhu Devi!]

Sarga Twelve: Hanuman in his remote thoughts wondered and was even concerned of Devi Sita's very existence but quickly recovered from such apprehensions resumed 'Sitanveshana'yet again with confidence and belief!

[Vishleshana on Continued Endeavor towards success vide Bhagavad Gita

Karmayedhikaaraste maa phaleshu kadaachana, maa karma heturbhuuh maate sangosta karmani/Partha! You do only the liberty to 'do' but never demand the return fruits about which you have no control. Yet never abstain from the performance surely expected of you. 'Karma Phala' is as per the decision of the Almighty. What ever is decided as per destiny shall doubtless be awarded to you. Never hesitate to accept by way of self desire or by the misleading advice of the public. The very feeling of disappointment creates suspicion and self repudiation. This tends to lead to frustration which is the anti-thesis of contentment and thus further leads to a string of inabilities for further successes! That situation is tantamount to ' jadatva' or total lack of initiative!]

Sarga Thirteen: Despite his sincere efforts of finding Devi Sita, the indications were slimmed and might even return disappoimnted. Yet, Sampati assured and visited 'Ashoka Vaatika'

[Vishleshana on Sampaati's assurance to Vaanara Sena vide Valmiki Kishkindha Ramayana Sarga

<u>As</u> Maharshi Nishaakara instructed Sampati intensively to keep serving ShriRama Karya as a singulat duty of Sampati's life and very existence, the latter slowly walked out from the Maharshi's cave and slowly crawled up to the top of the Vindhya Parvata. With the passage of time, the Maharshii passed away and there eversince, Sampaati had been waiting. He told the Vaanara shreshthas further that he wished to sacrifice his life since his living proved to be a drag eversince, but the Maharshis words were

ringing in his years to wait till the arrival of the Vanara sena on 'Shri Rama Karya'. Time and again Sampaati had been chiding his son as and when he used to fetch food for him as why he had not punished 'duraatma' Ravanasura and save Devi Sita some how. Like wise he was sharing his thoughts to the vanara shreshthaas who assembled around him. Meanwhile, Sampaati realised that his burnt off wings were slowly regenerating. He was excited to address the Vaanara veeras: niśākarasya maharṣeḥ prabhāvād amitātmanaḥ, ādityaraśminir -dagdhau pakṣau me punar utthitau/ yauvane vartamānasya mamāsīd yaḥ parākramaḥ, tam evādyāvagacchāmi balam pauruṣam eva ca/ sarvathā kriyatām yatnaḥ sītām adhigamiṣyatha, pakṣalābho mamāyam vaḥ siddhipratyaya kārakaḥ/ 'Kapi varaas! Thanks indeed by the blessings of Maharshi Nishaakara, my wings which were totally burnt off during my escapade with Surya Deva, have come come back sprouting. Now I should now onward be able to experience and enjoy my purusharthaas of 'Dharmaartha Kaamaas'! Vaanara veeras! All of you now should now put in your very best to take up the challenging endeavour to attain Devi Sita mother's darshan as soon as possible. This success is indeed round the corner, just as my wings are sprouting back.' Unable to suppress his greatest desire to fly any longer, Sapmpaati flew off in excitement as all the vaanara veeras clapped in response with the strong determination to initiate and propel the action on hand.]

Sarga Fifteen: Hanuman yet in his miniature form finally visioned Devi Sita near a 'Chaitya Praasaada Mandira' and identified her and felt ecstatic

[Vishleshana on Sankhya Shastra vide Brahma Sutras:

Brahma Sutras too explain this vide Chapter I on Samanvaya: Understanding by Interpretation:. Upanishads seek to imply the very purport of Vedas. These comprehend the basis of Awareness about the original cause of Existence and of the Universe. It is only by that Supreme Conciousness that the Ancient Sciptures seek to comprehend but not by a secondary Source of what is loosly designated as the Self Consciousness as Sankhya Yogas interpret; indeed, the Self as an individual is Brahman and is not a separate entity either. This is what Upanishads and Sciptures based on the ancient Scripts handed down the ages about the awareness of Brahman from whom the Universe originates, sustains, terminates and regerminates again and again; it is that Supreme Energy as the Source of Vedas, which is the uniform topic of Vedanta Scripts, who is admitted to be the Cause of the World as argued and decidedly established. Brahman is not the 'Koshamaya' or of Pancha Koshas or body sheaths of Annamaya-Pranamaya-Manomaya-Vijnanamaya and Anandamaya as based on Saamkhya Thought but is indeed the Supreme Self of Nirguna Niraakara or alternatively of the 'Saakaara Saguna Swarupa' or of Form and features viz. the Magnificent Bliss that is in turn reflected as the Antaratma or of the Individual Self of all the Beings in Srishti. It is this Blissful Brahman who is not only the Antaratma or the Individual Conciousness; this Paramartma is not only Antaratma, but also the Pancha Bhutas, Space, Light, the Praana or Vital Force, the Illumination within and without. It is that Singular Entity, The Bhokta and the Bhojya or the Cause and the Effect, the Material Cuase, the one inside the 'Daharakasha' or the Sky within the invisible cavity of the Heart and the Sky above, the Pancha Bhutas, the Panchendriyas, Sleep and Death, above all the Cause an Effect. Indeed, Brahman is the Material Cause of the Universee.!]

Sarga Sixteen: Hanuman having finally ensured that Devi Sita was visioned, felt that as to why she, an outstanding Pativrata, why and how Ravana has been disgusting, yet sad.

[Vishleshana on Rama's killing Kabandha as per his latter's 'Atma Katha' vide Sarga Sixty Nine of Valmiki Aranya Khanda: .Karbandha narrates his 'atma katha' the autobiography to Rama Lakshmanas stating that in the distant past he was a Maha Rakshasa of notoriety terrifying Maharshis. As the Rakshasa

assumed a huge and intolerable form, sought to terrify a Rishi named Sthulashira, the Rishi was angry and cursed him to assume that hideous form for ever: 'Rakshasa! You continue this very nasty swarupa for ever till you die. Then Kabandha was afraid of the consequent form and requested for relief and then the Rishi forevisioned to say that only when Rama Lakshmanas the epic heros should get caught by you and then finally slice off both of your shoulders, then you would attain 'mukti'. As Kabandha since became the vikrita swarupa as a result of the Maha Munis's 'shaapa', the Rakshasa was mellowed down and undertook severest possible tapasya to Brahma Deva. In turn, Brahma was pleased and granted the Rakshasa's wish for longevity. Then Kabandha having secured Brahma Deva's blessing for longevity, his demonic instinct was puffed up and attacked Lord Devendra himself. Devendra then threw away his peerless 'vajraayudha' and as a result, Maha Rakshasa Kabandha's lower body portion got upside down! Then I asked Indra: Deva Raja! You had utilised your invincible 'vajrayutha' and consequently, my very physical form changed transformed; how could I survive without food while Brahma blessed me with longevity. Then Indra Deva helped me to extend my both the arms by a yojana each so that the streach of the hands could be conveniently extended so that the food could reach right into the mouth! Indra further fore-visioned that Rama Lakshmana's would get caught in the grip of the rakshasa but they would severe the Rakshasa's shoulders and get relieved for mukti.]

Sarga Twenty Three: Select Rakshasis of learning like Ekajata-Harijata-Vikataand Durmikhi extoll the qualities of bravery of Ravanasura while seeking to convincing pressurise Devi Sita to accept the offer of Prime Queenship

[Vishleshana on Prajapatis, Adityas, Rudras, Vasus and Ashvini Kumars

Prajapatis: Mareechi-Atri-Angeera-Pulasya-Pulaha-and Kratu

Ashta Vasus: Aapa, Dhruva, Soma, Dhara, Anila, Anala, Pratyusha and Prabhasa. They once visited Vasishtha's Ashram along with their wives and desired to possess Nandini the Kamadhenu; as the Maharshi refused, Prabhasa he took lead in stealing the cow while other Vasus too abetted the plan. Vasishtha cursed the Vasus to become humans but reduced the impact of the curse to all of them to be born as humans only for a few hours except Prabhasa the ring leader. Thus Devi Ganga who was married to King Shantanu of Maha Bharata on condition that what even she did should not be questioned but she drowned the new borns one by one in the River but he could not contain himself and asked Ganga why did she do such merciless actions; Ganga left Shantanu as the eighth child was spared but deserted the King for good. The eighth child was Gangeya who was Bhishma and that was Prabhasa the Leader of Ashta Vasus who secured Vasishta's curse that he should have a full life but without a wife since Prabhasa listned to his wife and stole the Kama Dhenu Nandini.

Ekaadasha Rudras: Mahan, Mahatma, Matimaan, Bhishana, Bhayankara, Ritudhwaja, Urthvakesha, Pingalaksha, Rucha, Shuchi and Kaalagni.

Dwaadasha Adityasa: Aditya Deva assumes twelve other Murti / Forms viz. Indra, Dhata, Parjanya, Pusha, Twashta, Aryama, Bhaga, Vivishwan, Amshu, Vishnu, Varuna and Mitra. Among these twelve Murthis, Indra was Chief of Devas ruling Amaravati and destroying Daityas and Danavas from time to time. Dhata being in the Status of Prajapati took up the task of Creation; Parjanya in the Form of Sun rays rained all over the Universe; Pusha is in the form of Mantras engaged for Prajaaposhana; Twashtha is present in the form of 'Vanaspati' and 'Aushadhi' (Vegetable Oils and Herbal Medicines); Aryama who provides protection and relief to humanity; Bhaga is in the form of Earth and Mountains; Viviswan in the form of Agni / Fire and is the cooking facilitator of food as also of the destroying power; the ninth name of Surya Deva is Amshu or of the form of Chandra Deva who provides coolness and pleasure of existence; Vishnu is the tenth name of Surya who constanly checks the evil forces in the World and slays

Danavaas and establishes virtue from time to time by assuming Incarnations; Varuna is the eleventh appearance present in water as the source of life and fertility staying in Oceans, Rivers and various water profiles; and finally, Mitra or form of propitiousness and help to humanity. In whatever form he might be, Surya Deva is indeed the 'Karanam, Kaaranam and Karta' or the Act, Action and the Supreme Actor in the drama of Life! Bhakti (Devotion), Shraddha (fortitude) and Puja (Worship) sum up the meanings of human life! The corresponding Twelve Names of Aditya are stated to identify with the Twelve Months of a Year viz. Chaitra with Vishnu, Vaishakha with Aryama, Jyeshtha with Viviswan, Ashadha with Amshuman, Shravana with Parjanya, Badrapada with Varuna, Ashwin with Indra, Kartika with Dhata, Margasirsha with Mitra, Pausha with Pusha, Magha with Bhaga and Twashta in Phalguna

Vishleshana on Ashvini Kumars from Surya Purana:

Vishwakarma the Shilpi's daughter was Sagjna whose celestial name is Raagjni also called Surenu in dyuloka. Sangina's shadow is Chhaaya also called Nikshubha. Sangina is not only pretty but a Pativrata too; she gave birth to Manu and Yama. But she was unable to approach the ever fiery form of Surya and after retaining her shadow left to her father Vishvakarma's home to stay there for very thousand and odd years, despite the father advising her to return to her husband's home as soon as possible. As the father pressurised her, she left for Uttrara Kuru pradesha in the form of a horse. Chhaya Devi and Surya Deva gave birth to two sons named Shritashrava and Shrutakarma, besides a daughter named Tapati. Shritashrava's son was Saavarni Manu and Shanaishwara was the son of Shritakarma. Just as Sangina Devi was too affectionate with her children, Chhaya Devi was not so. Chhaya had normal relation with Sangina's elder son Manu, but had difference of opinion with Yama. As Chhaya bothered Yama too much, then the latter desired to lift her physically and held her upside down and in the process touched her feet. Chhaya then gave a 'shaap' or curse that Yama 's feet be twisted and disfigured. In this physical altercation, Surva appeared and said that every 'shaap' could be negated but not that of a mother and suggested that the only way could be to the flesh of Yama's feet be kept on 'krimis' or vicious worms so that the flesh of the feet be eaten and got disappeared and the fleshless feet be retained. This way- out would save Yama's feet and Chhava Devi's curse be carried out too. Soon after this shaap incident, Vishvakarma the father of Sangjna approached Surya Deva and informed him that his daughter Sangjna was in the form of a horse in Shaaka dwipa, and made Surya to assume the form of a male horse at where Sangina was grazing. Then Surya in the form of a male horse approached Sangima in the form of a female horse and tried to mate. Sangjna struggled in the act of mating as she was of the feeling that Surya was a 'para purusha'; in the process of th struggle Surya's virility entered Sangjna's nose and she gave birth to two sons viz. Ashvini Kumars the celestial physicians, named Naasatya and Dasnna. After Surya Deva revealed his identity, then the two horses mated again and Revant was born with similar radiance like that of the father.]

Sarga Twenty Seven: Even as the cruelmost Rakshasis surrounded Devi Sita to attack, the eldest of them named Trijata screamed from her ominous dream and described tragic forebodes of 'Lanka Vinaashana' too soon [Vishleshana of two birds seated on the same branch of a tree-source Mundaka Upanishad]

[Vishleshana of two birds seated on the same branch of a tree-source Mundaka Upanishad

Dve Suparnaa Sayuja sakhaaya samaanam vriksham parishasvajaate, tayoranyam pippalam svaaddhvatti anaishnan anyobhichaakasheeti/ (An analogy of two companion birds named Suparna and Sayuja is drawn sharing the same tree as one is busy eating the fruits of the tree while the other remains watching without tasting; this is just as two persons are enjoying the taste even as the other refrains. While one regales by rejoicing the sweet results of different kinds of material happpiness the other person calculates and weighs the pros and cons of the karma and the resultant reactions.]

Sargas Twenty Eight and Twenty Nine: Despite Trijata's 'dussvapna' foreboding shouts of disasters about Ravana and Lanka Rajya, Devi Sita continued to cry shell shocked; however gradually recovered due to her own forevisions of auspiciousness

[Vishleshana on Indra entering Devi Diti's garbha sourced from Maha Bhagavata Purana:

Chakravarti Bali, who was also punished by Vamana, the incarnation of Vishnu. Diti felt that Indra was responsible for several killings of her progeny including Hirayaksha and Hiranuyakasipu and thus her anger for Indra became intense. She thus requested her husband Kasyapa to bless her with a son who could kill Indra. Sage Kasyapa felt extremely sad that his wife was following a wicked route to bear her a son to kill Indra. He somehow desired that such an eventuality should never arise and planned to atleast prolong time for a year and asked Diti to follow very strict regime of personal sacrifice named 'Pumsavana'. During the year, Diti should not think ill of others, nor speak lies, nor hurt any body, nor eat flesh or fish, nor wear robes unwashed by herself, but worship Brahmanas, cows, and women with husbands and sons alive, in short follow a life of a hermit. Any discrepancy or deviation from the prescribed do's and don'ts would not only kill Indra but would become a friend and associate. The nephew Indra knew the intention of Diti, but pretended to help her in the Daily Worships by fetching flowers and fruits to Diti and such other services. At the time of Diti's delivery after a year, Indra who had yoga sidhis, like 'anima' and 'laghima' entered Diti's womb and with the help of his 'Vjara' (the Thunderbolt) cut the embryo into seven pieces and cut each piece to another seven pieces. Each of the fortynine pieces thus born became as many 'Maruts' who became demigods and thus Diti was purified of her envy and animosity of Lord Indra.]

Sarga Thirty Five: Devi Sita finally concedes Hanuman's genuineness- then he describes Rama's 'guna ganaas', how Rama missed her, Sugriva's help repaying Rama's help by killing Vaali- Sampati's guidance to reach her.

[Vishleskana on a) Vedas and Vedangas b) [Comprehensive Vishleshana on a) Kesari-Shambanaada-Anjana Kumari; b)-Vayu Deva and Anjana Devi-c) Glory of Anjaneya d) Hanuman and Ravanaasura]

Vishleskana on Vedas and Vedangas

Chaturvedas: Originally there was only one Unique Veda from the face of Lord Brahma but Vyasa Maharshi felt that the Single Veda covering all the aspects of Existence would be difficult to absorb by the successive generations and hence facilitated the division into Chatur Vedas viz. Rik-Yajur-Saama-Atharvana. Vedas are the beacon lights to search the ways and means to achieve the 'Purusharthas' of Dharma, Artha, Kama and Moksha. The four Vedas viz. Rig, Yajur, Saama and Atharva Vedas put together are stated to total one lakh Mantras. Rigveda contains two distinct 'Shaakhaas' or branches, viz. 'Sankhyayana' and 'Ashvala -ayana' and together contains one thousand Mantras, while Rigvediya Brahmana Bhhaga contains two thousand Mantras. Maharshis like Shri Krishna Dwaipayana took Rigveda as 'Pramana' (Standard) Veda. Yajur Veda contains nineteen thousand Mantras. Of these, the Brahmana Grandhas have one thousand Mantras and the Shaakhas have one thousand six hundred and eight Mantras. In Yajurveda the main Shaakhaas are 'Kanvi', 'Maadhyanandini', 'Kathi', 'Maadhya Kathi', 'Maitraayani', 'Taittireeya' and 'Vaishampaaniya'. Saama Veda has two main Shakhas viz. 'Kouthuma' and 'Aatharvaayani' or Raamaayaniya' and these contain 'Veda', 'Aaranyaka', 'Uktha' and 'Vuuh' 'Gaanaas' or Verses. Saama Veda has nine thousand four hundred twenty five Mantras-all stated to be related to Brahma. Atharva Veda has Rishi-oriented Shaakhaas like Sumantu, Jaajali, Shlokaayani, Shounaka, Pippalaad and Munjakesha, These contain sixteen thousand Mantras and hundred 'Upanishads'. The Shaakha differentiation of Vedas and of Itihaasaas and Puraanas was stated to have

been done by Vishnu Himself and were of Vishnu Swarupa. Vyaasa preached Puranas to Lomaharshana and to Suta by way of 'Purana Pravachana'. The main 'Sishyas' of Vyasa were Sumati, Agnivarcha, Shimshapaayan, Kritavrata and Saavarni. Shimshapaayan and others were engaged in constructing 'Samhitaas'. (Source: Agni Purana)

Shat Vedangas: Siksha, Vyakarana, Kalpa Grandha, Nirukta, Chhandas, and Jyotisha. *Siksha* is essentially about Sangeeta or Music the Swara Shastra viz. Sapta Swaras, Gramas or scale or gamut in music, Murchanas or intonations/modulations, ten Gunas, Padas (letters); Kalpa grantha comprises kalpas of Nakshatra or Chandra-Nakshatra movement; Veda for attaining Purushardhas viz. Dharma-Artha- Kaama-Moksha; Samhita about Tatwa Darshi, Mantras Chhandas etc; Angirasa Kalpa about abhichara vidhi vidhana like procedures of magic, charms, benevolent or malevolent karma kaanda and finally Shanti Kalpa, Mantras, Procedures, to ward off dangers, and usher in good tidings from Celestial, Terrestrial, extra terrestrial sources. Griha Kalpa too is significant like Homa Prakriyas, Mudras, Mangala Snaanaas, Abhishekas, Pujas for Deva-Devis and Nava Grahas etc. Vyakarana Shastra is about grammar, vibhaktis or cases, vachanas, naama - sarvanaamas, Pratyaya, Samaasa, Karakas. Nirukta is derived and rhetoric or artificial interpretation seeking to bring our the hidden meaning of Vedas; viz. 'nir' connoting the comprehensive sense that is sought to be conveyed and 'ukta' states that which is revealed more than what is concealed. Chhandas Shastra is stated as the feet of Vedas, being 'Vaidik' and 'Loukik'; Gayatri-Brihati-Ushnik-Jagati-Trishthup- Anushthup -Pankti being the Chhando Vidhi and the various combinations of 'Ganas' varied basically with 'ya-maa-taa-raa-ja-baa-na-sa-la-ga' and poetry made there of in three letter combinations; the ruling deities of the Ganas are: Ya gana (Water), Ma gana (Prithvi), Ta gana (Sky), Ra gana (Agni/ fire), Ja gana (Surya), Bha gana (Chandra), Na gana (Ayu or Life/health) and Sa gana (Vaayu). Jyotisha Shastra is all about Siddantha Ganita, Jaataka/hora, and Samhita. The means of Jyotisha are Panchanga Sadhana by way of Thithi-Vaara-Nakshatra-Karana-Yoga; Grahana Sadhana of Solar/ Lunar Eclipses, besides Dik-Sadhana. Jaataka Skandha is the Science of Raashi-Shad Varga, 'Maitri Bhaavaabhaavaas' and Graha-Nakshatra compatibilities. (Source: Narada Purana)

[Comprehensive Vishleshana on a) Kesari-Shambanaada-Anjana Kumari; b)-Vayu Deva and Anjana Devi-c) Glory of Anjaneya d) Hanuman and Ravanaasura

a) Kesari was the son of Gautami Rishi and Kesari's wife was Devi Anjana who secured a son named Anjaneya. Once Raakshasa Shambasaadana spied on Anjana Kumari who was playfully singing a song but a dirty hand of a Rakshasa tried to draw her close as she was bewildered with fear as was seeking her near, whispering in a heavy: My dear dove! Why are you fleeing from me! As shrieked saying 'help me, help me.' The Rakshasa said: none ever can save you; not even God. Kesari a huge Vanara saw from a tree top and jumped down and intervened. There followed a roaring fight but the Rakshasa overpowered Kesari, who in turn aimed at the rakshasa with his bow and arrows. The fight continued as the Rakshasa took the form of a huge elephant. The rain of arrows continued vet the rakshasa remained invincible since the thick skin of the elephant was infact boomeranging back to Kesari. Then Kesari suddenly assumed a miniature form, flew on to the elephant head, tortured the weakest points of the elephant's brain cells. The Rakshasa in response dropped the miniatured vaanara down to earth as Kesari's blood cells were cut and blood started flowing out. Meanwhile, the dazed Anjana Kumari prayed to Lord Shiva, and a whispering voice was heard: nothing could happen to the rakshasa as he is invincible, except by the rakshasa's own blood. Anjana Kumari got the hint, secretly crawled on the ground, picked up an arrow from Kesari, smeared rakshasa's own blood there on, whispered to Kesari, reached the bow and arrow to his hands and hit at Rakshasa once again. Meanwhile, Shambasaadana took the form of a huge bull with a view to gore Kesari's writhing body to trample to death by lowering the bull horns. Kesari stood up somehow and shot his arrows- as smeared by Shambaraasura's own blood- at the bull's eyes. The bull's eyes were punctured and the rakshas's blood came out in flows and the Rakshasa collapsed down. Kumari Anjana had quickly smeared the rakshasa's own blood on to Kesari's arrows and supplied to the bow of Kesari. Thus crashed

down the Rakshas's huge bull body to death. As Maharshis witnessd by their 'divya drishti' appeared and endeared both Kesari and Anjana and having taken their mutual consent blessed them as ideal couples.

b) Excerpts from Sarga 67of Kishkindha Khanda of Valmiki Ramayana on Vayu Deva and Devi Anjana:

Veeranjaneya! Your origin and of birth are indescribable: Pujikasthala was indeed a famed Apsrasa was cursed to be born as 'Kapini' or Vanara Stree famed as Anjana who was wedded to Kesari. As the Kapini had the ability to assume any form as she pleased and during the rainy season was seated on a mountain top dressed is silks, with priceless ornaments and derorated with sweet odoured flowers. Then there was a sweep of wind and Devi Anjana and Vayu Deva touched her tightly. sā tu tatraiva sambhrāntā suvrtā vākyam abravīt, ekapatnīvratam idam ko nāśayitum icchati/ añjanāyā vacaḥ śrutvā mārutaḥ pratyabhāṣata, na tvām himsāmi suśroṇi mā bhūt te subhage bhayam/ But Devi Anjana was an ideal 'Pativrata' and in that hesitative concern, did not make futher advances and was in act terribly afraid. Then Vayu Deva smilled reassuringly and said: 'Who indeed wishes to spoil your paativratya vrata! Sushreni! Don't you be scared as your mind must be rid of misleading thoughts. manasāsmi gato yat tvām pariṣvajya yaśasvini, vīryavān buddhisampannaḥ putras tava bhaviṣyati/ abhyutthitam tataḥ sūryam bālo dṛṣṭvā mahāvane, phalam ceti jighṛkṣus tvam utplutyābhyapato divam/ Yashasvini! I would only like to embrace you mentally by way of 'maanasika sankalpa' but not physically. As a result of such 'maanasika samyoga', you would be blessed with a 'Maha Bala Paraakrama, Buddhi Sampanna Putra praapti' who could cross oceans with speed and great ease!.Subsequently, Anjana Devi gave birth in a mountain cave!

c) Glory of Anjaneya from Sarga 67 as above:

Even in childhood, you always felt that Surya Deva too was a sweet fruit on the sky. śatāni trīni gatvātha yojanānām mahākape, tejasā tasya nirdhūto na visādam tato gatah/ tāvad āpatatas tūrnam antariksam mahākape, ksiptam indrena te vajram krodhāvistena dhīmatā/ tatah śailāgraśikhare vāmo hanur abhajyata, tato hi nāmadheyam te hanumān iti kīrtyate/ Maha Kape! Therefore you jumped up by three hundred vojanas once and felt that you could not still reach Surva. You kept on trying and finally reached Surya Deva, but Indra Deva was angry and hit you with his Vajraayudha. That was why your left side hanu- was hurt and hence your name is 'hanuman'! On seeing the entire scene, Vayu Deva was terribly concerned and thus the Prabhanjana Deva Vaayu stopped his movement in trilokas and thenthe Ashta Dikpalakas tried their best but finally Brahma Deva had to pacify Vayu Deva blessing Anjaneya would be immune from 'astra shastras'! vajrasya ca nipātena virujam tvām samīksya ca, sahasranetrah prītātmā dadau te varam uttamam/ svacchandata's ca maranam te bhūyād iti vai prabho, sa tvam kesarinah putrah kṣetrajo bhīmavikramah/ mārutasyaurasah putras tejasā cāpi tatsamah, tvam hi vāyusuto vatsa plavane cāpi tatsamaḥ/ Anjaneya! Even 'vajra prahara' by Indra Deva would be futile on your body and Mrityu is in your contol'. Finally, Maha Jaambavaan asserted: tad vijṛmbhasva vikrāntaḥ plavatām uttamo hy asi, tvadvīrvam drastukāmevam sarvā vānaravāhinī/ uttistha hariśārdūla langhavasva mahārnavam, parā hi sarvabhūtānām hanuman vā gatis tava/ visānnā haravah sarve hanuman kim upeksase, vikramasva mahāvego viṣṇus trīn vikramān iva/ Parakrami Mahaanjaneya! Now is the time that you have to proclaim to the trilokas to heighen your stature as the Vanara Sena is longing to witness what you really indeed are. Kindly get up and cross this Maha Sagara in one jump as that indeed is a sure step for Loka Kalyana. All the Vaanara Veeras are right now are on the verge of collapse. As Maha Vishnu as Vamana Deva measured the Universe with three steps, please put forth three steps ahead to sure success! As Hanuman was ready to cross the Maha Samudra with gusto, the Vanara Sena which had hither to were drowned in incapacity, helplessness and preparedness for self sacrifices, roared in ecstasy. Samstūyamāno hanumān vyavardhata mahābalaḥ, samāvidhya ca lāngūlam harṣāc ca balam eyivān/ Enthused by their frenzy, he gradually increased his height and the proportionate volume of his body, just as Vamana Deva did. harīnām utthito madhyāt samprahṛstatanūruhah, abhivādya harīn vṛddhān hanumān idam abravīt/ arujan parvatāgrāņi hutāśanasakho 'nilaḥ, balavān aprameyaś ca vāyur ākāśagocaraḥ/ tasyāham śīghrayegasya śīghragasya mahātmanah, mārutasyaurasah putrah playane nāsti me samah/ Veera

Hanuman stood amidst the Vaanaras and addressed them especially the elderly Vanara Vriddhas thus: 'I am of the strength and speed of Vaayu Deva, my originator and am possessive of endless energy. Vayu Deva is a great friend of Agni Deva! I am blessed with the might of destryoing mountains to pieces. Being the step son of Vayu Deva, my single jump could cross Maha Samudras. I could perform thousand parikramas of the thousand vojana spread of Maha Meru Parvata. bāhuvegapranunnena sāgarenāham utsahe, samā -plāvayitum lokam saparvatanadīhradam/ mamorujanghāvegena bhavişyati samutthitah, sammūrchitamahāgrāhaḥ samudro varunālayaḥ/ pannagāśanam ākāśe patantam pakṣisevitam, vainatevam aham śaktah parigantum sahasraśah/ With the unimaginable might of my shoulders and hands, I could splash and pound the high waves of Maha Samudras, and create devastation and mahem of high mountains. Lord Varuna's nivasa of Sapta Sagaras [Sapta Samudras: Lavana or Salt, Ikshurasa or Sugarcane juice, Sura or Wine, Ghrita or Classified Butter, Dahi or Curd, Ksheera or Milk and Suswada or Sweet Water] could be violently shaken to distress. Vaanara vriddhaas! Like Maha Veera Garuda the elder son of Vinata Devi is in the habit of 'akaasha parikrama' and my ability is such that I could comfortably perform such parikramas by thousand times. I could follow Surya Deva in his regular daily pradakshinas from Udayaagiri to the Astamaagiri! utsaheyam atikrāntum sarvān ākāśagocarān, sāgaram kşobhayişyāmi dārayişyāmi medinīm/ parvatān kampayişyāmi plavamānah plavamgamāh, harişye coruvegena plavamāno mahārṇavam/ Surely I have the capacity and aptitude to cross ahead of Nava Grahas, dry up oceans, destroy mountains, and keep jumping across the universe! buddhyā cāham prapaśyāmi manaś cestā ca me tathā, aham draksyāmi vaidehīm pramodadhvam plavamgamāh/ mārutasya samo vege garudasya samo jave, ayutam yojanānām tu gamişyāmīti me matih/ vāsavasya savajrasya brahmano vā svayambhuvaḥ, vikramya sahasā hastād amṛtam tad ihānaye, laṅkām vāpi samutksipya gaccheyam iti me matih/ Vaanaras! As I apply my mind and cogitate, so do the circumstances and conditions too shape up likewise. My decisiveness right now is to see Videha Kumari's immediate darshan; now, you folks! Enjoy now and rejoice with very quick and most positive results and sweet fruits. I am only comparable to Vayu Deva and Garuda Deva; my strong belief and firm conviction at present is that I could comfortably undertake a rapid run of ten thousand yojanas of distance by air! Believe me my friends, right now, my morale and enthusiasm is such that I could seize and secure 'amrit' from the hands of Vajradhaari Indra or even Svayambhu Brahma Deva himself! Of which avail is, after all, pulling and uprooting the Kingdom Ravanasur's Lanka!' As Veera Hanuman assured thumping success from his tour of Lanka and back, the huge mass of Vaanaras paid sky high tributes, clappings, and victory shoutings of feverish rejoicings. Then commenced 'Swasti Vachanaas' and high tributes to the hero stating: rsīnām ca prasādena kapivrddhamatena ca,gurūnām ca prasādena plavasva tvam mahārnavam/ sthāsyāmas caikapādena yāvadāgamanam tava, tvadgatāni ca sarvesām jīvitāni vanaukasām/ 'Maha Vanara Anjaneya! May you carry with you in your epic like tour by crossing the Maha Sagara with memorable success and safe return the heart felt blessings of Maharshis, Gurus, Elders and friends. We would all await your successful travel and very fruitful return; do trust us that your success would provide us all a fresh lease of our lives.' Hanuman replied: As I would now jump and cross the Samudra, be assured that in the universe none could ever imitate. My initial jump would be to the top of Mahendra Parvata which is replete with trees bearing juicy and sweet fruits.' Thus, the Maha Kapeshvara reached, selected a few luscious fruits, enjoyed them relaxingly and remebered of Lanka forthwith for the subsequent jump forward.

d) Hanuman and Ravanasura from Bhavishya Purana:

Kesari the son of Gautami Rishi and Kesari's wife Anjana secured a grand son named *Hanuman* with the 'Amsa' (facet) of Parama Shiva and Vayu Deva too was responsible in the birth of the boy. Mistaking Surya Deva for a red-coloured fruit, the boy was tempted to fly skywad tried to hold Surya Deva, as Indra threw his Vajra on Hanuman's body and Ravana tried to hold Hanuman's tail but Hanuman never left his firm hold of Surya Deva. Ravan kept on fighting for a year in vain and tried to wriggle out of Hanuman's powerful clasp. Meanwhile Rishi Vishrava arrived at the spot and eulogised Hanuman to release Ravana

the terror of the Universe. There after Hanuman resided for long time at Pampapura on the banks of PampaRiver as a strong fixture and was thus acclaimed as 'Sthanu'. Also since Ravana who had dictated the World and controlled Devas was humiliated by *Anjaneya*, his name and fame spread as Hanuman: *Nighnanta cha Suraan mukhyan Ravanam Lokaraavanam, Nihanti Mushthirbhayah sa Hanumaaniti vishrutah.* (Ravana who was in the habit of badly hurting Devas and related Demi-Gods and killing Vishnu-Bhaktas without mercy had thus been restrained badly and received a jolt by Hanuman; the 'Mushtighatas' or 'Hanus' (beatings of closed hand grasps) damaged Ravana was the reason why Hanuman was named as such. Lord Brahma informed Hanuman that during the twenty eighth Tretayuga's first Part of Vaivaswa Manvantara, Bhagavan Vishnu would take the Incarnation of Shri Rama and that he would achieve Rama's unreserved devotion to Hanuman and destroy the clan of Ravana, his cruel brothers and sinful sons.]

Sarga Thirty Six: Maha Veera Hanuman bestows Shri Rama's finger ring to Devi Sita as a memory refresher- the highly excited Devi Sita falls back to her memory screen, as Hanuman assures Rama's arrival too soon!

[Vishleshana on Danava Anuhlaada-Shachi Devi- Indra]

[Vishleshana of Six Neeti Chandrikas vide Sarga Seventy of Valmiki Aranya Ramayana: 'Mahabali Kabandha shook off the ashes of the totally burnt off body and was visioned to have alighted a celestial vimana with clean robes smilingly and addressed Raghu nandana and declared: rāma ṣaḍ yuktayo loke yābhiḥ sarvam vimṛśyate, parimṛṣṭo daśāntena daśābhāgena sevyate/ Shri Rama! Listen to me carefully: there are six ways and means of accomplishing Six 'Neeti Chandrikas' viz. Sandhi-Vigraha-Yaana-Aasana-Dwidhi bhaava-and samaashraya. Sandhi denotes the Principle of Truce, Tolerance and Coexistene. Vigraha refers to conflict of similar forces leading to balance of power. Yaana suggests travel or momement of forces for attaack-aasana or tishtha the waiting period-dwividha of bheda bhaava or break up of friendship by similar forces of the enemies and finally 'samashraya' or the celebrations of victory of togetherness.']

[Vishleshana: Refer to Vishleshana on Danava Anuhlaada-Shachi Devi- Indra vide Essence of Valmiki Kishkindha Ramayana -Sarga 39: 'Shachi Devi the daughter of Danava Puloma was fond of Indra, even before theor wedding, but Puloma liked another danava youth named Anuhlada. With the secret consent and permission of Puloma, Anuhlada forcibly abducted Shachi Devi. Indra attacked and killed hom brutally and married Shachi Devi. In further revenge, Indra killed his father in law Danava Puloma thereafter'.]

Sarga Forty: Devi Sita reiterated what Anjaneya should convey to Rama about her life's threats while handing over hair clip to Shri Rama; Hanuman reiterates his reaching Rama's soonest. [Vishleshana on the sources of precious pearls from Essence of Soundarya Lahari] [Vishleshana on the sources of precious pearls:

Following is a stanza describes the grandeur of natural pearls of fame: Gaja kumbheshu vamsheshu phanaasu jaladeshucha, shukti kaayaamikshudande shodhaa Mouktika sambhavah/ Gaja kumbhe karburaabhaah vamsho raktasitaah smritaah,phanaasu vaasukereva neela varnaa prakeertitaah/ Jyotirvarnaastu jalade shuktikaayaah sitaah smritaah, Ikshdande peeta varnaah manayo mouktikaah smritaah/ Following are the six famed places of origin in which spotless and most precious pearls are originated: Gaja kumbha, bamboo hollows, cobra hoods, clouds, sugar canes and pearl oysters. Pearls from Gaja kumbha or skull is of kurveera colour, bamboo hollow are of rakta / sveta varnas, Vaasuki and such cobra hoods are of blue colour, in water carrying clouds are of vidyut varna, sugarcane based pearls

are of yellow colour, and of oysters are of pure white! (Source: Essence of Soundarya Lahari of kamakoti. org/books section, ref. stanza 74)

Sarga Forty Eight: Shattered with putra shoka and humiliation, Ravana finally asked Indrajit to use his brahmastra to end up the menace of Hanuman and save the Rakshasa Samrajya and his personal prestige and fame at stake!

[Vishleshana on Astra Vidya and illustrative 'Mantrika Astras

'Celestial missiles of danda chakra, dharma chakra, kaala chakra, vishnu chakra, and the most powerful Aindra chakra and the arts of application and throwing away of Indra's Vajrastra, Shiva Deva's trishula praharana, and Brahma's granted Aishikastra and Shira -cchedana astra was taught by Maharshi Vishvamitra to Rama Lakshmanas besides the magnificent vidya of 'gadaa praharana' or the art of battling with maces like 'modaki'- 'prahari'- shikhari of forcible applications of mace strokings, throwings and mace head rubbings. Then Vishmamitra taught the astras of 'dharma paasha-kaala paashaand varuna paasha'. Subsequently they were taught two kinds of dry and wet rounded applications of astras viz. 'ashani- pinaka-narayanaastras'. Then Rama Lakshmanas were taught Agneyastra fond of Agni Deva resulting in fierce flames of fire renouned as Shikharaastra- Vayavyastra which sweeps ay the opponent with virulent sweeps away. Then the Maharshi teaches the Kakutsa nandanaas of 'Hayashira Astra'- 'Krounchana Astra' and 'Shakti Dvayaastra' or of high potent twin astras attacking the opponent with doubled up potency. The Maharshi was pleased to instruct Rama Lakshmanas the astras named 'kankala'-the devastating 'musala'- and the destructive 'Kapaala' and 'Kinkini' and such astras which could lift up and throw the opponents forcefully. Then in the series were taught the famed 'Nandana Astra' of Vidyadharas as well as the associated mace of fame. The 'Gandharva Priya' astras of 'Sammohana' for relapsing into senselessness like 'Prastaavana- Prashamana-and Soumya' were taught too, besides the 'Mohanaastras' suca as for varshana-shoshana-santaapana-vilaapana-maadana which was the beloved of Kama Deva Manmadha himself, and the Gandharvapriya 'Maanava astra', besides the Pishacha priya 'Mohanastra'. Brahmarshi Vishvamitra then instructed the Astras named 'Taamasa-Soumana-Samvarta-Durjaya- Mousala-Satya-and Mayamayaastras too. Then the Maharshi imparted to Rama Lakshmanas the glorious 'Surya prabha Astra' which when once released as an arrow would destroy the enemies to ashes. Simultaneously, the Maharshi conferred 'Shishira naamaka Chandraastra', 'Tvashta (Vishvakarma) naamaka 'Daarunaastra', Bhaga Deva namaka 'Bhayankaraashtra' and 'Sheetoshna' naamaka Astra of Manu Deva. Source Valmiki Ramayana Baala Khanda]

Sarga Fifty: Pretending as bounded by Indrajit's Brahmaastra, though Brahma granted his immunity, Hanuman faced Ravana whose Minister asked him why he visited Lanka; he confirmed, he was Shri Rama's messenger.

[Vishleshana on 1. Nandishwara and 2. Baanasura

1. Origin and Glory of Nandishvara:

Maharshi Shilada performed severe Tapasya for thousands of years and his body got degenerated to such an extent that it became a skeleton full of worms. Finally, Maha Deva granted his vision and Shilada's wish: *Tawa Putro bhavishyaami Nandi naamnaa twayonijah, Pitaa bhavisyaasi mama Pitrurvey Jagataam Muney/* (I shall grant you a son with the name of Nandi and he would be my son and would be popular like wise). Then Nandi was born at Yagna Bhumi with the features of Maha Deva himself with Trinetras, Chaturbhjas and as Jataa mukuta and Vajra-Sarpa dhaari when Devatas rained fragrant flowers, Apsaraas danced and Gandharvaas sang tuneful hymns in praise of Lord Shiva and Nandi. Vasus, Rudras and Indra prayed respectfully and Devis like Lakshmi, Jyeshtha, Diti, Aditi, Nanda, Shachi, Bhadra and

others rendered 'Stutis' to Nandi. Shailada Muni commended Maha Deva as well as Nandishwara and expressed his total satisfaction and gratitude. As Nandishwara was taken into the 'Parnashala' or thached home of Shailada, Nandi assumed a human Rupa instead of Deva Swarupa. Shailada Muni was overjoyed, performed the child's Jaata Karma and other Vedic Tasks and on the son's attaining seven years performed his Yagnopaveeta dharana and 'Upaasana' of Gayatri and tendered him to the Ashram of Maharshi Mitraavaruna. The Guru taught Veda Vidya, Shastras and other Scriptures, besides Dhanur Vidya, Ayur Veda and MantraVidyas, Chatushashti Kaalas, Ashrama Dharmas and so on. Mitravaruna was very proud of the student and so was Muni Shilada; the Guru then blurted at that time of Nandi 's exit from Ashram that doubteless Bala Nandi displayed extra-ordinary brilliance as a fulfedged Scholar and accomplishment but was shortlived!Shilada fainted at this disclosure for long and after regaining normalcy took to extreme Tapasya again to Maha Deva; even as Shilada was engaged in Tapasya, Shiva appreared, fondled Nandi, assured him not to get disturbed from what was stated by his Guru. He said that actually he sent messengers that Nandi's life was almost over since his human birth would anyway be of Tapatrayas and hence he was terminating the Manava Janma to bestow Everlasting Life; by so saying, Maha Deva touched Nandi so that his physical body would fall down with his Jataa Mukuta etc and secure a permanent Rudra Rupa. The Place where the human form of Nandi's 'Jatajuta' fell on Earth was materialised into a Sacred River called Jatodaka and Nandi's new Form was of a 'Vrishabha'; Parama Shiva himself performed 'Abhisheka' on the new Form of Nandi and that Place came to be called Vrishadhwani, Jambunada or Panchanada and Vishwakarma gifted a Golden Mukuta or Headgear and Kundalaas or Ear Rings. Thereafter Nandishwara familiarised with his mother Devi Girija and also the 'Ganaas', whom he was empowered as their Chief. Devi Parvati endeared the son who prostrated before her with veneration. Maha Deva declared to the Tri Lokas that Nandishwara was the son of Shiva and Parvati. Devas headed by Indra, Brahma, Vishnu, Dikpalakas, Maharshis, besides Yaksha-Gandharva-Muni and Yogi ganaas were all invited to a huge event where Nandishwara's unique name was fame were known all over, where ever Maha Deva was known and indeed Maha Deva was acclaimed as the Supreme Lord of the Universe. Parama Shiva granted a boon to Nandishwara that He would be in the 'Sannithi' (Presence) of Shiva always and any kind of worship to himself would be incomplete without any Service to Nandi! Even great sins of the magnitude of Brahma hatya could be nullified by Shiva Puja, but at first, Nandeswara should be propitiated without fail; Aadow kuryaanamaskaaram tadantey Shivataam Vrajet/ [Linga Purana]

2. Baanaasura whom was a nightmare to Devas and Indra with long life from Treta Yuga to Dwapara Yuga, was the grandson of the famed Bali Chakravarti and a parama bhakta of Parameshwara and ever worshipped a Rasa Linga gifted by Vishvakarma. As an ardent devotee of Shiva, he was stated to have thoushand arms to play mridaaga at Shiva Parvati tandava nrityas. In the course of Dwapara Yuga, his daughter Usha Devi happened to see both Shiva and Parvati sitting together and being an Antaryami Devi Parvati joked with Usha that one day she would too land up in a situation like that. Usha asked Devi Parvati as to when would that day arrive! Parvati replied that she would dream of a youth on the night of Vaishakha Shukla Dwadashi. As the day arrived, Usha did get the dream and informed of the incidence to her friend Chitralekha, the daughter of Banasura's Minister named Kushmanda. As Usha was unable to bear the feelings of love, Chitralekha showed several drawings of eligible amd handsome bachelors and after a few days, Usha succeeded finally to identify the youth. Then it was learnt that the youth was the son of Krishna. In course of time, the couple met and their romance became intense by the day. Learning of the desire of his daughter with Aniruddha, the son of Pradyumana -the erstwhile Cupid who was burnt into ashes by Lord Siva's third eye- and the grand son of Krishna (Avatar of Lord Vamana), Banasura quashed the wedding proposal and reprimanded his daughter since Krishna was his foe. Banasura prevented his daughter meeting Aniruddha and when the latter fought with him, he imprisoned Aniruddha. Yadavas in Dwaraka wondered as to what happened to Aniruddha. On learning from Narada Muni, it was learnt that Aniruddha was imprisoned in Shonitapur, the Capital of Banasura and Krishna, Balarama and Pradyumna lest by Garuda to that Place. There, they confronted Pramathaganas of Shiva and fought with Jwara the three footed Chief of the 'Parshads' named Maheswara and defeated him. This

led to a full-fledged battle between Krishna and others on one side and Banasura, Shankara and Kartikeya on the other. As furious Shastra-Astraas were exchanged by both the Parties, the whole world was affected with Pralayaagni. Balarama attacked Banasura and the fight got intensified with alarming consequences. Meanwhile Krishna recalled his Sudarshana Chakra and sliced off the mighty hands of Banasura and was about to cut off the Asura's head too. It was at that climatic moment, Shankara addressed Krishna to stop. "Hey Krishna! I am aware that you are the Purushottama -Parameswara-Paramatmaa and Adyanta-Rahita! Do get cooled down. I have provided shield to Banasura my devotee and assured that I would stand guarantee at the time of his peril; please do not falsify my faith in me. He has not done any thing wrong to you but is egoistic due to my backing and therefore pardon him. Krishna replied: 'Shankara! If you so wish as you had given him a benidiction, Banaasura would continue to be alive. In order to respect your assurance to him, I am withdrawing Sudarshana Chakra; if you had given him protection, so do I; You should never feel that you are different from me; you should always consider me as yourself and together we are the Devas, Asuras, human beings and all the rest; all those who consider us as different from each other are shrouded in Maya or Illusion; indeed, I am pleased and am gone. There after, Krishna and all the rest headed to Aniruddha's prison, where the latter was released by 'Naga bandhana' or tight-tied by a serpent which ran away at the appearance of Garuda Deva while Banasura politely agreed for the Sacred wedding of Usha-Aniruddhaas. Source: Maha Bhagavata Purana]

Sarga Fifty One: Addressing Ravana, Veera Hanuman detailed Shri Rama's 'Prabhava' and warned that if Devi Sita were in any way hurt, that would be the instant final doom of Ravana and Lanka; Ravana went mad with fury.

[Vishleshana on Ravana's disgraced encounter with Vaali:

Ravanasura once decided to challenge Vaanara King Maha Baali; the latter was born of Indra Devaamsha and got a boon that he would attain half of the strength of any of his opponents standing face to face. This power enabled Bāli to defeat all his foes and bring the countries in all directions under his sway. Ravana heard about this and decided to overpower Báli somehow or other and approached Kiskindha. Having learnt from Baali's Minister, Taran, that Vaali got the boon, Ravana somehow decided to kill Bali. His idea was to kill Baali by capturing and killing while going behind him when Vaali would daily perform his daily prayers. Next morning Bāli went to the eastern sea-shore and began his prayer and meditation. Ravana approached Baali behind and sat close to Vaali, presuming he could hold Vaali's tail and beat him from behind without facing Vaali. Baali knew that Ravana was sitting behind him. But pretending that he knew nothing put his long tail on the body of Ravana, and passed it lengthwise and breadthwise through every part of his body and tied him like a bundle of faggots, and made a jump into the air. Within a short time Vaali visited all the usual places and reached Kishkindhä. Seeing Ravana hanging by the tail of Bali, even the women folk laughed. Thus Ravana became a laughing stock as Ravana made a confession admitting surrender as the other wise invincible Maha Vali pardoned Ravana and let him go unhurt. Sourced from Valmiki Uttara Ramayana.]

Sarga Fifty Two: Infuriated by Hanuman's insinuasions of Ravanas's record of failures and praising Rama's successes, Ravanasura orders the vanara be killed-Vibhishana pleads against killing a messenger, as Ravana heeds

[Vishleshana 1. on Ravanasura's origin, family background and accomplishments in brief]
2. on Parama Shiva's destruction of Tripuraasuras vide Kurma Purana

[Vishleshana on Ravanasura's origin, family background and accomplishments in brief:

Rananasura was born to Vishrava Maharshi and Daitya Kaikeshi.Pulastaya, one of the ten Prajapatis or mind-born sons of Brahma, was maternal grandfather. Kaikeshi, born of Sumali and Tataka had two brothers Maricha and Subahu. On the paternal side, Malyavanasura. Ravana's Prime Queen was the daughter of Mayasura and Apsara Hema and acclaimed as Maha Pativrata. Among his many other wives, the most mentionable after Mandodari were Maya, the daughter of the celestial architect, and the third one Dhanyamalini. Ravana's elder half-brother was Kubera. Vibhishana, Kumbhakarna, Khara the King of Janasthana, Dushana the Senapati of Janasthaana, Ahiravan, the King of Paatala were Ravana's younger brothers. Kumbhini was Rayana's elder sister and wife of Madhu Rakshasa, and Shurpakhana the younger sister, Rayana's were Meghanaada or Indrajit, Atikaya, Akshayakumara, Devantaka, Narantaka, Trishira, Prahasta. Ravanasura was a great scholar of Vedic knowledge under the tutelage of Shukracharya. His perseverance in tapasya to Brahma, he offered his own head and as each time he did so, his heads sprouted again and again and Brahma appeared at his tenth head's offering and blessed him with the option to be a Dashakantha; Brahma granted him of invincibility against Aditi- Diti Putras, Sarpa, Pakshi-Pashus but ignored 'tucchha manavas.' Accodingly, Ravana killed or subdued numberless raakshasadaitya-daanava-pakshi-mriga-jalacharaas and asserted his unique fame. He was an expert in music, dance and all the fine arts. He was an outstanding Shiva Bhakta, having composed Shiva Tandava Gita; as Maha Nandi prevented Shiva Darshana, he quaked Kaiilasha Parvata and accomplished Shiva darshana. As Parama Shiva granted the boon of Atma Linga to be carried to Lanka Samrajya, Shiva obliged but Ganesha intercepted on way in the guise of a baalaka and got it installed at Gokarna Ksheatra]. Sarga Fifty Four: Hanuman's vengeful 'Lanka Dahana and Vidhvamasha' 138 as the Rakshasaas were shocked wonderstruck whether he was of Rudra Swarupa or Rama Bhakta! [Vishleshana on Parama Shiva's destruction of Tripuraasuras vide Kurma Purana]

[Vishleshana on Parama Shiva's destruction of Tripuraasuras vide Kurma Purana

'As the ever shrewdest and the nastiest Daitya called Maya commenced his brutal Tapasya, two more Danavas of equal disrepute and desperation viz. Vidyunmali and Taraka joined him and their extreme tenacity was such that they meditated in snow valleys during high winter nights, amid 'Panchagnis' during blood blister summer days and during incessant and torrential rains standing under open skies. It looked that Earth trembled with the severity of their meditation and Brahma had to bestow the choice boons of indestructibility except by Parameswara that too by a single arrow-shot destroying their abodes together. The most noted top architect and builder that he was, Mayasura built 'Tripuras'/ three Tower Castles-each of hundred vojanas- one of indestructible iron on Earth, another on the Sky made of shining silver and the third above the second one made of glittering gold, all encased in inner- castle structures of same size of circumference but each invisible from outside in all directions. Each of the Tripuras is equipped with 'yantras'/ machines that could destroy hundreds in each shot, Chakras, Trishulas, Dhwajas on the high wall structures, and 'Shikharas' (minarets) recognisable through the mountain tops of Meru and Mandarachala. These 'Puras' were insurmountable, let alone destructible to Devas, Danavas and any other species, excepting Maha Deva! Daithyas had very contented lives inside the Tripuras. Devas and other Celestial Beings were thrown out of their abodes and all the luxuries and joys of Swarga were confiscated. In course of time, the inhabitants of Tripuras became intolerable, awfully sinful, corrupt, wicked and highly immoral. While Maya Daitya was kept busy in the deeds of beauty, living comfort and pressing into the services of Devas as their servants to cater to the happiness of the inhabitant Daityas, Vidyunmali was kept busy with matters of Internal Administration and Taraka was made commander in Chief. In course of time, there came inevitable internal dissensions, group politics, differences of living styles and class-distinctions, 'Alakshmi' (poverty), 'Asuya' (jealousy), Trishna (avarice), 'Vibhuksha' (hunger), Kali and Kalaha (quarrels) among the residents of the Tripuras. This situation of 'Alakshmi' led to 'Atyaachaaras' or transgressions on Devas, other Celestial Beings, Maharshis, the entire humanity and

all other species of Lord's creation. The canker spread across the 'Tribhuvanas' and Devas sought refuge from Brahma who gave the boons to the three goons! Lord Brahma pacified the delegation of Devas and assured that the heinous and wildly vicious deeds of the Trio of Daityas reached a climax and that it was time to approach Parama Shiva who was the one and only Saviour that could destroy the abodes of the three Daityas in one go with one arrow, even if these residences were far apart from each other on Prithvi, Akaash and far beyond in the strong-hold Tripura fortresses! As Devas and Brahma reached Maha Deva, they visioned 'Trishulapaani Shankar' relaxing with Devi Parvati and Mahatma Nandi. They saw that 'Bhuta bhavishya Swami'whose eyes were red like 'Agni kundas'and physique was shimmering with thousand Suns with a pleasant countenance ornamented with a Bala Purna Chandra, even as Devas broke down into ecstacy and extolled him. Having pleased Parama Shiva thus, Devas explained the gravity and seriousness of the crisis created by the Tripura Daityas who not only unseated and tormented Devas and Celestial Entities but were also sending shock-waves all over the Universe, humiliating Sages, frightening women and children, making mass-scale carnage and blood bath of humanity and uprooting Dharma and age-old Values and Principles. Parameshwara infused confidence into the demoralised Devas and asked them to construct an exceptional chariot with unique specifications: Prithvi as the Ratha / Chariot, Meru and Mandara Mountains as axles, Surya and Chandra as Chakras made of gold and silver respectively, the Four Vedas of Ruk-Yajur-Sama and Atharva acted as the horses; Shukra, Brihaspati, Budha, Mangal, and Shanaischara seated on the Ratha ready to charge; the famous serpents viz. Takshaka, Karkotaka, Dhanajaya and Padmadwaya acted as the strings which were tied to the horses; most poisonous snakes like Surasa, Devashuni, Sarama, Kadru, Vinata, Shuchi, Trusha, and Bubhuksha were used as arrows; Mrutyu, Brahmahatya, Gohatya, Balahatya and Prajaabhaya were loaded on the Chariot so that they get activised as maces; Omkara and Vashatkara were the symbols on the Ratha; Sinivali, Kuhu, Raaka and Anumati - the 'Adhishtana'/ in charge Deities of Chaturdashi, Amavasya, Suddha Purnima, Pratipadika Purnima respectively were used as auxiliary strings to the horses; the dhanush made of six 'ritus'/ seasons which is safeguarded by Devi Ambika herself never to be broken; the specific arrow with which to kill the Tripurasura was strengthened by Vishnu, Soma and Agni and its head propelled by Agni and Chandra by its rear and Vishnu Maya smeared all over; and the extreme poison of Nagaraja Vasuki was loaded to ensure stability and speed of the arrow; Vayu was made in charge of the high velocity of the Chariot and finally Brahma was the Charioteer and Sesha Naag was made in charge of the personal security of Brahma as also of the Chariot. Yama Raja with his buffalo, Kubera on his serpent, Indra on Iravata, Ganeswara by his Mushika Vahana, Karikeya on his Peacock, Nandeshwara with his Shula running behind and sides of the Ratha were in full preparedness. Maharshis Bhrigu, Bharadwaja, Vasishtha, Goutama, Kratu, Pulastya, Pulaha, Marichi, Atri, Angira, Parashara, and Agastya were there too at the kick-start of the Battle to recite Veda Vachanas and Shiv Stutis. The Pramatha ganas were ready to charge as the army against the opponents- all swarmed around the Rath. Meanwhile, Sage Narada reached the Tripuras and tried his best to mend his ways, give back Indrapuri to Devas and avoid the worst ever battle in which the indestructible Tripuras would be destroyed along with the Three Demons as Maha Deva himself was approaching these Places with full preparation. Instead of talking peace, the Demons alerted their vast armies, and prepared for turning their defensive positions to that of an offence. On the instruction of Shankara Deva, Indra took his enormous army and attacked Tripura. As the Deva Sena made a highly offensive assault in full force, what with the revenge and frustration experienced by them for long as they were out of power as also owing to the excellent backing of Maheswara, they seized the best part of Tripuras. While quite a few Danavas sought to escape for their lives through the exit gates of Tripuras, Pramatha ganas calculated that the enemies would try to sneek out at those points and buchered thousands of Danavas. The remaining Danavas inside the Trinagaris were utterly confused by contradictoy shouts that Taraka died or Shiva was defeated. In that melee, a srong contingent of Danavas quickly regrouped their men and material to make offensive attacks under the leadership of Vidunmali and Maya. Ganeswara divided Tripuras in three regions as Nandeswara was attacking Vudyunmali, while he was in position against Maya. Meanwhile, Vidyunmali threw a 'Parigha' on Nandi who was hurt and the enraged three 'Parshadaganas' named Ghantaakarna, Shankukarna and Mahakaal retaliated; they assumed the Forms of Ganeswara and assailed Vidyunmali by making the roars of lions. Even while the Parswaganas

were about to leap on Vidyunmali, the hurt Nandikeswara hurled a Rudra Shakti on the demon who fell down like a mountain. There was utter silence among Danavas who were stunned and retreated. But, the highly cunning and crafty Mayasura chased the Ganas of Ganeshwara to divert attention of his own men from the fallen Vidyunmali to the Ganesha ganas. Mayasura created rains of Agni, crocodiles, snakes, huge mountains, lions, tigers, trees, black deers, eight-legged 'Sharabhas'/ a species of oversized deer, torrential rain and powerful sand storms. As Taraka came into the battle field, Devas too appeared in full force, including Yamaraja, Varuna, Bhaskara, Kartikeya heading a Deva Sena of a Crore, with Indra, Shanaishchara, Chandra, and Rudras, The 'Maayavi' Mayaasura created several Wells full of herbal juices for envigoration and Danavas were in high spirits as their body strength increased manifold. But Keshava took the form of 'Vrishabha' and drank up the juice along with Devas and dried up the wells and Devas occupied the Tripuras finally. Mayasura and other Daityas were forced to hide in the Sea. That was the decisive moment when there was an all-out battle on the seashores. Shankara divided the 'Tridevamaya' arrow into three parts and released it when Tripuras were destroyed; Shiva felt sad however that one of his own dear devotees, Mayasura too was involved. Nandi went faster than the arrow and saved Maya, well before the Tripuras were destroyed. In the end Taraka and Vidyunmali were killed and Maya was condoned with the curse of Indra that all his constructions would be burnt off eventually and Mayasura continued to hide in the Seas]

ESSENCE OF VALMIKI YUDDHA RAMAYANA

Sarga Four: Rama Lakshmana Sugrivas followed by Maha Vanara Sena advances to the shores of Maha Samudra with confidence to initiate the massive task of 'Setu Bandhana' [Vishleshana on Surya- Chandra-Shukraadi Grahas-Sapta Rishi Mandala- Dhruvas] [Vishleshana on Tarakasura Samhara by Skanda Deva]

[Vishleshana on Surya- Chandra-Shukraadi Grahas-Sapta Rishi Mandala- Dhruvas

It is said that there might be thousands of rays of Sun, but the important ones are only seven, representing Seven Planets, Viz.Sun, Moon, Mars, Mercury, Jupiter, Venus, and Saturn. Moontravels faster than Sun. The distance between Sun and Moon is 100,000 yojanas (800,000 miles). In two lunar fortnights, Moon passes through a period of a Samvatsaraor a year. In two and quarter days, Moon passes through a month of the Sun, or in one day, it passes through a fortnight of the Sun. Hence, the divergence of Solar and Lunar calculations and Calendars. As the Moon is waxing, it is a day for Gods and a night for Pitru Devatas. The waxing fortnight gradually diminishes the shine till the Moon-fall day (Amavasya) and the waning Moon picks up the shine day by day till Moon-rise day (Pournami). Moon is known as 'Jeeva' (life-provider), or 'Manomaya' (mind-alerter) or 'Annamaya' (potency provider from herbs and plants), 'Amritamaya' (source of life to all) and 'Sarvamaya' (all pervading). From Moon to the Group of Stars, the distance is 200,000 vojanas (16 00, 000 miles). Headed by Abhijit, there are twenty eight Stars revolving on their own axis. Above the Group of Stars is the Planet of Venus (Sukra) almost of the distance from the Moon to the Group of Stars. It is a benevelont planet, especially as a provider of good rains and prosperity and moves at the same pace as Sun God. Mercury (Budha), the son of Moon is situated from Venus (16,00,000 miles) or 72,00,000 miles from Earth and this Planet too is benevolent excepting when not moving along with Sun, thus causing cyclones, excess or no rainfall and dusty storms. Equidistant from Mercury or 80,80,000 miles above Earth, is the Planet of Mars (Mangal), which is generally not considered favourable, travelling along with other planets every three fortnights and creates tensions. The Planet of Jupiter (Guru) is away from Earth by some 10,400,000 miles-again 16,00,000 miles away from the planet of Mars- is considered generally benevolent to Brahmins and Universe, unless takes a curved path in conjunction with other planets. Saturn, which is 12 million miles above Earth is also considered generally unhelpful. Normally, each planet is 16,00,000 miles apart from another planet,

but the distance from Saturn to the Group of 'Sapta Rishis' or the Seven Sages is 8,800,000 miles from Saturn ie.20,800,000 miles from Earth. Indeed, the Seven Sages are always the great well wishers of the entire Universe. The Sapta Rishis, viz.Marichi, Angirasa, Atri, Pulsastya, Pulaha, Krathu, and Vasishtha born in Lord Brahma's thoughts to help in the act of Creation. (Reference Maha Bharatha; Shanti Parva). The Seven Sage Constellation of the Great Bear (Ursa Major) is indeed the great well wisher of the entire Universe. The Sapta Rishis circambulate around the Pole Star, or Dhruva Tara, which is as good as the Abode of Supreme Lord Himself and is prayed to by religious mortals and Gods alike. (Maha Bhagavata Purana)]

[Vishleshana on Tarakasura Samhara by Skanda Deva:

Fully understanding the purpose of his birth which his parents had strived for after performing thousands of years of Tapasya as also to fulfill the singular ambition of his grand mother to destroy Indra and Devas, Tarakasura took a vow at a grand conference of Daityas and Danavas-the descendents of Diti and Danuand proceeded to Paritrava Parvat (the western side of Aravali and Vindhya mountain range and observed strict Tapasya during hundred year time-slots by rotation by way of 'Niraahaara' (without food), Panchagni (in the midst of Five huge Fire bodies) in sizzling summers, 'Jala madhya' inside in chilled running water in the worst winter nights, eating only fallen dry leaves, etc. Brahma had no option but to present himself and ask for his boons. He bargained of absolute invincibility and deathlessness but finally agreed that only a seven days long boy could kill him, if at all! Not far from the day when Brahma bestowed the boons, Tarakasura redesigned and reformed his lines of Military Forces and attacked Indraloka. Having been defeated, Indra mde an appeal to Vishnu and the latter realised that only Skanda, the unique son of Shiva Parvati, could kill the loka kantaka Tarakasura. Indra then made a detailed plan as an outstanding stage manager: Bringing together of the then virgin Devi Parvati- Manmatha's pushpa baana prayoga to excite Parama Shiva who was in long tapasya -managing Himavan's virgin daughter Parvati to engage in service to supply 'puja dravyas' - seeking the help of Manmatha the God of love to intensify feelings of lust in Shiva's mind by his pushpa baanas- Shiva's opening his third eye with angereventual wedding of Shiva Parvati- agni deva carrying Shva's virility about to be wasted on earth to six Krittikas who drank the drops - Kartikeya's birth and the euphoria of Indra and the Trilokas. The Deities commenced preparations of war to kill Tarakasura but a Celestial Voice was heard that victory would be assured only under the Leadership of Kartikeya and hence all the Devas requested Skanda to become the Chief of the Army of Devas. Meanwhile, Devasena, the daughter of Mrityu Devata, became his wife and hence Skanda was known as Deva Senapati. Kartikeya led the army of Devas of the rank of Indra, Agni, Vayu, Kubera and Yama Dharma Raja and was seated on an elephant. Tarakasura arrived with a huge army of mighty warriors who dominated and controlled the opponents intially. Indra's 'Vajra' was overpowered by Tarakasura's weapon called Shakti and wounded Indra. King Muchukunda who fought for Devas and sought to stop the domination of Daityas but Tarakasura reisted; Muchukunda wanted to use the 'Brahmaastra' but was restrained by Sage Narada as that weapon would no doubt create havoc but would be ineffective to destroy Tarakasura and hence Kartikeya would have to be warmed up gradually. Veerabhadra swang into action and slaughtered thousands of Demons; Tarakasura realised that Veerabhadra was not easy to control and thus used his 'Maya' and assumed a thousand arms. Lord Vishnu suggested that the time was ripe to kill the Big Demon before he became more powerful and asked Skanda to charge him. With his mighty weapon Shakti on hand, Kartikeya chased Tarakasura but the latter retaliated with his own 'Shakti' and even got Skanda unconscious for a while. After quickly recovering his poise, Kartikeya prayed to his parents and released the Maha Shakti which was fortified with the blessings of Bhagavan and Bhagavati and finally annihilated Tarakasura who incidentally was a Great Siva Bhakta! But Siva Himself was so pleased at the valour of the lad who was more than a match to the Greatest Demon of the times who sent shock waves across the Three Worlds! While Devas and Gandharvas were engaged in unending praises and noise of resounding musical notes, Rishis were engaged in Vedic Hymns to please Kartikeya and there was ecstasy across the Globe.]

Sarga Nine: As Rakasha Veeras assured Ravana of assurances with bravado unminded of enemy strength, Vibhishana requests him to respectfully return Devi Sita safe to Rama and save Lanka's glory and of generations. [Vishleshana on Tapatrayas]

[Vishleshana on 'Taapatrayas':

Tapatraya: Adhi Bhoudika or Ailments of Physical Nature; Adhyatmika or of Mental-Psychological Nature; and Adhi Daivika or of Natural Calamities like Earth quakes, floods, lightnings etc. beyond human control. In Vishnu Purana: Maharshi Parashara described about Tapatriayas or the Three Kinds of Difficulties that all human beings are subjected to as also the means of realising the Paramartha Swarupa. The Tapatriayas originate due to Adhyatmika, Aadhi Daavika and Adhi Bhoutika reasons. Adhyatmika based Tapaas are either due to 'Shaaririka' (physical) ailments or 'Manasika' (psychological) imbalances. Shaaririka Tapaas include dieseases related to head, digestive, heart, breathing, vision, limbs, skin, fevers and so on; related are the various physiological problems of blood-urinary-pelvic nature. Manasika Tapaas are related to Kama, Krodha, Bhaya, Dwesha, lobha, Moha, Vishada, Shoka, Asuya, Apamana, Irshya, Matsara etc. Adhi Bhoutika Tapaas are due to the difficulties attributed to animals, birds, Pishachaas, Serpents, Rakshasaas and poisonous related creatures like scorpions. The troubles on account of Adhidaivika nature are due to cold, heat, air, rains, drought, water, earthquakes, cyclones and so on. Additionally, the troubles are related to birth, childhood, youth, old age, ignorance, Avidya, loneliness, smell, lack of resources, poverty, immaturity, inexperience, lack of opportunity, fear of death, death itself and multiple kinds of experiences of Naraka. Maharshi Parashara emphasized that there are problems of excessive of opulence, excellent health, excessive youth, and such other excesses and some times ignorance is bliss. More so there could be Tapaas due to discriminations of sex, age, social status, experience, opportunity, family background; origin of birth viz. religion, Varnashrama and age. Disappoint -ments in life, more specifically relating to money and fame, including their earnings, perservation and its vinasha or destruction happen to be yet source of Tapatraya]

Sarga Thirteen

[Vishleshana on Kumbhakarna- origin, monstrous physique and Brahma Varas- bravery and basic virtues

Maha Bhagavata Purana explains that the Gate Keepers of Vaikunthapuri of Maha Vishnu named Jaya and Vijaya were cursed to mortality by Maharshis Sanaka-Sanandana-Sanaatana-Sanatkmaras disallowed Vishnu Darshana. But after appealing to Vishnu for assistance, the latter agreed to reduce their sentence to just three lifetimes as his enemies before allowing them to return to Vaikuntha thus as Jaya and Vijaya were Ravana and Kumbhakarna , Kamsa and Shishupaala in Krishnaavataara and Kartaveeryaarjuna and Haihava Kshatriyas in Parashu Ramaavataara. Despite his monstrous size and great appetite, he was described to be of good character, piety and great warrior having defeated Indra too, besides killing and devoured several Vanaras during Rama Ravana battle. Along with his brothers, Ravana and Vibhishana, Kumbhkarna performed a Maha Yagjna and Brahma blessed with a boon that, his tongue was tied by Sarasvati, because of which, instead of asking 'Indraasana' or the seat of Indra, heasked for 'Nidraasana' orbed for sleeping. Again Brahma granted 'Nidravastham' instead of 'Nirdevatvam of total annihilation of Devas, thus. Kumbhakarna slept for six months a year and when awaken, he ate everything in the vicinity.Kumbhakarna had two sons, Kumbha and Nikumbha from his wife Vajramala, who too fought in the war against Rama and were killed]

Sarga Fourteen: Vibhishana appeals Ravana to release Devi Sita, praising Rama and his valour - Prahasta heckles Vibhishana- as the latter retorts that neither Ravana with 'vyasnaas' nor his followers could match Rama;

[Vishleshana on Sapta Vyasanas of Kings:

Vaagdandyostu paarushamartha dushanameva cha, Paanam stree mrigayaa dyutam vyasavam saptathaa prabho/ Parusha bhashana-danda kathorata-dhana apavyaya-madyapaana- stree- mrigaya - dyuta or arrogant voice- imposement of harsh penalties- extreme love for money- hard liquor drinking habit- sexhunting and gambling.]

Sarga Eighteen: Shri Rama being a 'sharanaagama rakshaka' replies to Sugriva ,but Veera Anjana Putra, and asks the Vanara King to allow his darshan

[Brief Visleshana on Shibi Chakravarti and how Indra and Agni Deva tested his spirit of self sacrifice] [Brief Visleshana on Shibi Chakravarti and how Indra and Agni Deva sought to test his spirit of self sacrifice:

Agni assumed the form of a pigeon as Indra was chasing as a hawk, the pigeon landed on Shibi's shoulder and took it on his lap providing protection but the hawk demanded the prey's flesh in a human voice, Shibi agreed to provide as much flesh from his own body by a sensitive balance and offered to the halk. Pleased of Shibi's offer, Indra and Agni restored the body flesh of Shibi and declared his universal fame. Source Vishnu Purana.]

Sarga Nineteen:Following in-house deliberation by select Vanara Veeras about Vibhishana's Vibhishana's protection, Shri Rama, a 'sharanaagata rakshaka', finally consents and even assures Kingship after Ravana's imminent death.

[Vishleshana on 'Ashta Dilpalakas':

Indra, Agni, Yama, Nirruti, Varuna, Vayu, Kubera and Ishana. The 'Dikpalakas' include the thousand eyes Indra in the East stationedin Amaravati on Airavata with Sachi Devi, 'Vajra Ayudha' or thunderbolt, the Celestial Apsarasas and the rest; Agni Deva in South East with his two wives Svaha and Svadha, his Vahana and other belongings; Yama Dharmaraja in the South with his 'Yama danda' (his Symbol the Celestial Rod) along with Chitragupta; Nirruti in the South West with his axe and wife representing Rakshasas'; Varuna Deva in the West with his wife Varuni and 'Pasa' (the noose), drinking Varuni honey and with the King of Fishes as his Vahana (Vehicle) and surrounded by aquatic animals; Vayu Deva in the North West with his wife, forty nine members of his Vayu family along with groups of Yogis adept in Pranayama and other practices along with his Deer Vahana; the King of Yakshas and Unparallelled Possessor of Gems and Jewels Kubera in the North along with his two Shaktis Viriddhi and Riddhi and his Generals Manibhadra, Purnabhadra, Maniman, Manikandhara, Manisvargi, Manibhushana and Manikar Muktadhari; Rudra Deva in the North East with other Rudras who are angry and red eyed, armed and mighty, frightful and revolting, fiery mouthed and detestably distorted, some times ten handed or thousand handed, odd number footed and odd number mouthed; in the company of Bhadrakalis and Matriganas, Rudranis and Pramadhaganas making 'Attahasas' or reverberating screeches and so on. (Source: Devi Bhagavata Purana)]

Sarga Twenty Two: Maha Sagara himself personified restraining Rama's fury-advised Vanara's 'maha shilpi', the method of constructing 'Setu Bandhana' to facilitate Ramas and the huge Vaanara Sena to cross the Maha Sagara

[Vishleshana on a Squirrel and Setu Bandhana:

Shri Rama and Sugriva's arbuda strong Vanaraa Sena was dedicated to Rama Kaarya to attack the evil Ravanasura in the objective of Setu Bandhana. The sena was totally engaged, as some pulled up mountain boulders, some uprooting maha vrikshas and throwing their heavy branches down to the Maha Samudra, some with collecting the dropped branches down into a floating bridge making skilled engineers and their work force, and the architects and their workers, and son literally labourong round the clock. Witnessing the full force of the Vanarasa sena, Shri Rama was so happy admiring the dedication and dynamism of the Vanara Sena, Shri Rama was overwhelmed with the 'bhaki'. During this course of action, Rama witnessed a small brown Squirrel, going up and down the Seashore with little pebbles in its small mouth and carrying them from the seashore and dropped them into the Maha Sagara. A hugeVanara was carrying a large mountain boulder on his shoulder as the squirrel came in his way. The Maha Vanara jumped back

and thundered 'you litt le brat of a squirrel and stepped back; hopr you are alive as you could be a casuality, what are you doing here! The little squirrel looked up at the great Vanara: I am sorry, brother Maha Varara! As the small voice: Are you not able to see that in my own way am carrying on my duty with diligence and devotion in my own humble manner of the unique Swami Rarya! I ma also helping Shri Rama to build the bridge; I wish to work hard for him. 'As the squirrel screamed in its own hing pitch of voice, the Maha Vanara carrying the boulder on his shoulder, tauned addressing the fellow Maha Vanara: 'Did you hear that!; a squirrel is building a bridge with his pebbles. I have never heard a funnier story like this'. Then there was arourig response from the co Maha Vanaras. The squirrel never felt humiliated but took its ground angrily: 'Look, I may not carry mountains or boulders, as Almighty granted only a little strength. I can only carry pebbles. But my heart mels out as how Bhagavan Shri Rama has been sufferng Maha Pativrata Devi Sita's vivoga and had been crying away incesantly and hence I could do so to the best of my own capability'! Then one Vanara picked up the squirrel's tail at a mere creatuure had been hindering the massive task ahead and threw it far away as the squirrel, crying out the name of Rama, fell into his hands; he held the squirrel close to him and stated: Maha Vanara's! Please do not make fun of the weak and the small. Your strength or what you do is certainly invaluable. Yet what matter is this little squirrel's has love in his heart. You are brave and strong and are doing a wonderful task og bringing all these huge boulders and stones from far and dropping them in the Maha Sagara. But do you not notice that it is the tiny pebbles and stones brought by this small squirrel and some of the other smaller creatures which are filling the small gaps left between the huge stones? Further, do you not realize that the tiny grains of sand brought by this squirrel are the ones which bind the whole structure and make it strong? Yet you scold this small creature and fling him away in anger!'Hearing this, the Vanaras were ashamed, and bowed down their heads. Rama continued, 'Always remember, however small, every task is equally important. A project can never be completed by the main people alone. They need the support of all, and however small, an effort should always be appreciated!' Having stated thus Shri Rama then turned to the squirrel and said softly, 'My dear squirrel, I am sorry for the hurt caused to you by my army, and thank you for the help you have rendered to me. Please go and continue your work happily.' Saying this, he gently stroked the back of the squirrel with his fingers, and three lines appeared where Bhayagan Rama's fingers touched it and passed his fingers gently over the little squirrel's back. As put it him down there were three white stripes on his back. Indeed, no task and service to Sri Rama, however small, is unimportant! Every task should be looked upon as service to Rama as neither do big or small. In Bhagavad-gita 9.27 Krishna says:yat karoshi yad asnasi yaj juhoshi dadasi yat, yat tapasyasi kaunteya, tat kurushva mad-arpanam/ Whatever you do, whatever you eat, whatever you offer or give away, and whatever austerities you perform, do thatas an offering to Me'. Sources: Bhagavata Purana and Bhagavat Gita].

Sarga Twenty Six: Ravana asserted not release Devi Sita any way, yet asked Sarana about about Vanara yoddhaas and the latter mentioned Angada, Nala, Shweta, Kumuda, Chanda, Rambha, Sharabha, Panasa, Krodhana, Gavaya [Vishleshana on Ashta Bhiravas]

[Vishleshana on Ashta Bhairavas:

Eight Manifestations of **Maha Bhirava** are Kaala Bhairava, Asitaanga Bhairava, Rudra Bhairava, Krodha Bhairava, Kapala Bhairava, Bhishana Bhairava, Unmatta Bhairava and Samhara Bhairava. In the context of Andhakaasura Samhara, Maha Deva then decided Devas and Ganas to withdraw excepting his Nandi Vahana. He assumed a mammoth Bhairava Swarupa with the extraordinary radiance and heat of crores of Suryas, wearing Tiger Skin, Sarpa-haraas, Ten Hands and Three Burning Eyes and pierced his Trishula right into the Asura's heart and hit his head with his mace and tossed his body up high in the air that got dropped on Earth with a thud. From all the sides of his huge body, there were streams of blood as **Ashta Bhairavas** were surfaced: from the Eastern direction emerged a Bhairava akin to Agni called 'Vidya Raaj' with his neck adorned with lotus flowers; from the Southern direction appeared 'Kala Raaj' Bhairava looking like a 'Preta' with dense black colour; from the Western direction

was materialised a Bhirava named 'Kamaraj'; from the Northern direction was caused a fourth Bhairava named 'Soma Raaj'; a fifth Bhairava emerged from the wound near the demon's heart where Maha Deva pierced his Trishula and his name was 'Swacchanda Raja'with the resemblance of Indra Dhanush (Rainbow); the Sixth Bhairava was 'Lalit Raaj' who appeared from the gush of the Asura's blood on Earth; the Seventh Bhairava was 'Vighna Raaj' and including Maha Bhairava there were thus Ashta Bhairavas. (Source: Vamana Purana)]

Sarga Thirty Three: As Devi Sita was drowned in 'duhka saagara'on seeing Rama's severed head, as shown by Mayavi Ravana, dharma buddhi Sarama Rakshsi reveals the truth asserting Rama Vijaya, assuaging Devi's fears

[Vishleshana on a) the Saptaashvas and Surya Ratha - b) Meru Pradakshina by the Sun Chariot]

[Vishleshana on a) the Saptaashvas and Surya Ratha - b) Meru Pradakshina by the Sun Chariot:

a) Description of Surya Ratha: This chariot has one wheel, 'five aragajas' or comparments, tri naabhis or three axes. Its chakra or wheel has 'nemi' or wheel's rim with golden 'patthis' or frames. The chariot wheels are run by seven horses named Gayatri, Tristhup, Jagtati, Anushthup, Pankti, Brihati, and Ushnik which are the seven 'chhandas' of formal prosody and these or of the wind speed. In side the Surya Ratha, those accompanying illustratious personalities are described: These are Maharshis, Gandharvaas, Apsaras, Villagers, famed Serpents and rakshasaas. Sets of these groups alternate bimonthly. Dhata and Aryama Deva, Prajapatis Pulastya Rishi and Pulaha Rishi, Vaasuki and Sankirna Nagas, Tumburu and Narada Gandharva Singers, Kritasthala and Punjakashala Apsaras; Rathakrita and Rathouja as gramani, Heti and Praheti Rakshasas are those chosen ones on the Surya Ratha in Chaitra Vaisakhas. During the Greeshma Rithus of Jyeshtha Ahaadhaas, Mitra and Varunas would be Devatas, Atri- Vashishhas as Rishis, Takshaka Rambhaka Nagas, Menaka and Sahajanyas as Apsaras, Haha and Huhu Gandharvas, Rathantara and Rathakrita Graminis, Purushad and Vadha Rakshasaas; in Shravana Bhadrapadas the Devas would be Indra and Vaivashwan, Angira and Bhrigu are the Rishis; Ilapatra and Shankhapaala as the Nagas, Vishvaavasu and Sushena as Gandharvas, Praatha and Ratha as the graaminas, Pralocha and Nimlochanti among the Apsaras, and Heti and Vyaghra as the Rakshasaas. In Sharadriti month of two months of Ashviyuja and Kartika, the Devatas would be Parjanya and Pusha, Rishis Bharadwaja and Goutama, Chitrasena and Suruchi as Gandhravas, Vishvaachi and Ghritaachi as Aprasas; Iravata and Dhananjaya as the Nagas, Senajita and Sena Kayaka are the chosen graaminaas; and Aapa and Vaata as Rakshasaas. In the Hemanta Ritu of Maargaseersha and Pousha, the Devatas are Amshu and Bhaga, Kashyapa and Kratu as Rishis, Mahapadma and Karkotaka as the Nagas, Chitrasena and Deerghaavuyu as Gandharva Singers; Purvachiti and Urvashi as Apsaras, Takshava and Arishtanemi as Sana as Senapatis Gramani and Tricidhu and Surta as Rakshasaas. During the Shishira Ritu's Maagha and Phalguni, Tvashta and Vishnu are the Devatas, Jamadagni and Vishwamitra as Rishis, Kadru Putra Kambal and Ashwatara as Maha Sarpas, Dhritaraashtra and Suryavarcha as Gandharvas, Tilotthama and Rambha as Apsaras, Ritajit and Satyajit as Graamanis, Brahmopeta and Yagnopaveta as Rakshasas. This was how, the 'Dwadasha Saptaka' or Deva-Rishi-Naaga-Gandharva-Aprasa- Graameena-Raakshasaas are distinguished in their own positions; Devatas enhance by their own presence; Rishis excel in rendering self scripted Surva Stutis; Gandharvas and Apsaras stand out in their singing and dances; Yaksha ganas cake care of the needs and desires of the Saptaashvas; Sarpas move around fast for law and order besides traffic regulation; and Rakshasas to follow the chariot for providing general backup and secutity. Balakhilya Rishis from morning to evening to mornings and so on cling to the Surya Radha always and for ever. Devatas lend and enhance their stock of celestial energies, tapobala, yoga bala, Dharma, Tatwa and such innate powers, transmit auspiciousness to all the Beings in the universe in the bhuta-vartamaaabhavishya kaala maana irrespective of Twenty Manvantaras and so on. Likewise Surya Deva regulates seasons and sustains their individual characretistics, the shukla- krishna pakshas, havya-kavya karyas, swaha-swadha karmas, vrishti-poshana, anna- jala-kanti sustenances; in in short the ever mobile yet stable Singular and Ever Perceivable Uniqueness!

b) To the east of Meru Parvata, atop the Manasarovara mountain, there exists Vasvaikasaara named Mahendra Nagara made of gold. Again to the south of Meru Parvata's back side, there is Manasaparvata and the Samyamani Pura where Lord Yama the illustrious son of Surya Deva resides. To the west of Meru parvata, on the west of Manasaparvata atop Sukha Purawhere Varuna Deva resides. To the north of Meru Parvata atop the Mahendra parvata, Vibhavari Pura where Chandra Deva resides. Behind the Manasotara on the four sides, the Ashta Dik Loka Paalakas are placed to protect Dharma and in the dakshinaayana period, Surva Deva oversees the activities of the Ashta Palakas during his period. Now, about the dakshinayana the travel of Surya; in the jyotishchakra in his pradakshina, He reaches Amaravati the capital of Indra Deva by the midday on earth; that would be when it coincides with Yama Raja's rising time, in Chandra's mid night time and so on. As Surya performs pradakshina or selfcircumam -bulation, he also does the same to nakshatras too do likewise. Precisely at the 'udaya' and 'astama' timings he does exactly the same year in and year out. At the Sun Rise he gradually increases his radiance till the afternoon and gradually reduces his tejas till the dusk time. In this way, Surya Deva performs pradakshina or circubambulation of self and so do the nakshatra mandali too. These all travel southward and at the rise and setting timings are defined as also at the poorvaahna and aparaahna or pre noon and afternoon they pass through two each of Deva puris and at the noon time, one Devapuri. Thus Surva from the rise gains momentum of radiance till afternoon and gradually lessens the severity of the kiranas thereafter till Sun set. Surya has the constant awareness of he 'udaya' and 'astamaya' at the east and west directions; while radiating the eastern side, spreading the heat and illumination on the sidewise north and south and decreasing the severity till disappearance. Meru Parvata is stated to be situated in the north of the highest of all the mountains; Lokaaloka is situated in the southern direction and since Prithvi's shadows are spread over, those Beings situated on the other side of the hemisphere are unable to Surya in the nights. Thus Surya Deva with a lakh of kiranas reaches the mid portion of 'Pushkaradwipa' by that time, despite his speed of one 'muhurta' or two ghadis at the rate of one thirty lakh and fifty thousand yojanas plus! Thus Surya Deva as he traverses southward for six months turns to uttarayana or northbound. At the time of Dakshinaayana, Surya would have reached the travel to the mid portion of Pushkara dwipa. This dwipa is as thrice as distant from Mru to Manasarovara! Now the distance on the southern course or Dakshinayana is of nine crore fifty lakh yojanas. After the dakshinayana, Surya reaches the Vishuva sthaana or the 'khagoleeya vishuvadvritta bindu' at the north of Ksheera sagara. Vishvan mandala parinama is three cores twenty one lakh yojanas. As Surya's course gets north bound or uttarayana entering'shravana nakshatra', then his course would be towards gomoda dwipa in between the south and north parts and in between are located jaradrava - Irayata to the north and Vaishvanara to the south. Towards north is named Naaga veedhi and to the south is the Ajaveedhi. The nakshatras of Purvaashadha-Uttaraashadha-Mula are known as 'ajvithis' and abhijit, shravana and swaati are naagavithis. Ashvini, Bharani and Krittika are aslo naagavithis and so also Rohini-Ardra and Mrigashira. Pushya, Shlesha and Punarvasu ate called Iravati veethi. Purvaphalguni, Uttara phalguni and Magha are arshabhi yeedhi. Purvabhadra, Uttataabhadra and Revati are of Goveedhi, while Shrayana, Dhanishtha and Shatabhisha are of jagadveethi. Chitra and Swati are again of ajaveedhi, Jyrshtha, Vishaka and Anuraadha are of Mriga veedhi again. During Uttarayana samaya, the speed of Surya is slower and the nights are of longer duration and vice versa. Source: Matsya Purana]

Sarga Thirty Five: Buddhimaan Maalyavaan, on behalf of the Maha Mandali, appealed for appealed to 'Sandhi' with the impending attack by Rama citing 'neeti shastra' and especially due to several 'apashakunas' faced by Lankapuri.

[Brief Vishneshana on Fourteen Maha Vidyas and Principles of Neeti Shastra][Vishleshana on the impact of Kaala maana and the weakening of yuga dharmas: Excerpts from Manu Smirti- and Markandeya, Brahmanada and Bhavishya Puranas:]

[Brief Vishneshana on Fourteen Maha Vidyas and Principles of Neeti Shastra

Maha Vidyas: of chatur vedas, four upavedas of Artha shastra of State Craft Economic Policy, dhanur veda, gandhanrva veda of performing arts and ayurveda, besides six vedangas of shiksha of phonetics, kalpa or rituals, vyakarana or grammar, jyotisha or astronomy, nirulta or etomology and chhandas.,

Six 'Neeti Chandrikas' viz. <u>Sandhi-Vigraha-Yaana-Aasana-Dwidhi bhaava-and samaashraya</u>. Sandhi denotes the Principle of Truce, Tolerance and Coexistene. Vigraha refers to conflict of similar forces leading to balance of power. Yaana suggests travel or momement of forces for attaack-aasana or tishtha the waiting period-dwividha of bheda bhaava or break up of friendship by similar forces of the enemies and finally 'samashraya' or the celebrations of victory of togetherness.]

[Vishleshana on the impact of Kaala maana and the weakening of yuga dharmas: Excerpts from Manu Smirti- and Markandeya, Brahmanada and Bhavishya Puranas:

Brahma's one raatri-divas or night and day comprise of Four Yugas of Krita-Treta-Dwapara-KaliYugas. Krita yuga is of four thousand years reckoned as 360 days for humans and one Deva day; its sandhya or the yuga's terminal period is for 400 years and Sandhyaamsha is an additional 400 years totalling 4800 divine years or 1728000 human years. On similar analysis, Tretaayuga is for 3600 divine years or 1287000 human years; Dwapara yuga is of 2400 divine years or 664000 human years and Kali Yuga divine 1200 years or 432000 human years. The total of Four Yugas is 12000 divine years or 42420000 human years. Deva's one thousand years are accounted for Brahma Deva's single day time and another thousand divine years are of Brahma's one night. Thus Brahma's 'ahoraatra' or day and night comprises of 120,00,000 of divine years or 432,00,00,000 human years. Thus after one thousand yugas, Brahma rests for the day and night and then resumes 'punah srishti' or revival of creation process again. (Manu Smriti Achaara Khanda)

As per Divya calculations, the total count of Four Yugas is twelve thousand years, the Satya Yuga comprising four thousand years, Treta Yuga three thousand Divya Years, Dwapara Yuga two thousand years and Kaliyuga of one Divya thousand years; the rest of two thousand years of the twelve thousand Divine Years is accounted for additional four hundred of Divine years of 'Sandhya' and an equivalent period additionaly for 'Sandhyamsha' for Satya Yuga; three hundred years each for these periods in respect of Treta Yuga; two hundred years each of Dwapar Yuga and one hundred years each of Kali Yuga. In Lord Brahma's life span of hundred Divya Years, each day comprises fourteen Manvantaras and each Manvantara consists of one thousand 'Kalpas'. At each change of Manvantara, there is a fresh stock of Indras, Devas, and Sapta Rishis etc. There are seventy one Cycles of Four Yugas in each Manvantar. Viewed from the view point of human years, one Manvantara has three crore sixty six lakh two thousand years; by Divine Years, one Manvantara has one lakh fifty two thousand years. If this Period is multiplied four times, it would then equate Brahma's one day, that is, one million nineteen lakh twenty seven thousand Divya years; or, four twenty nine crores forty lakh (429, 40, 00,000) human years! After each day-night of Brahma, there occurs a 'Naimittika' Pralaya. (Markandeya Purana)

About the Cycle of Time and Kalpas and Manvantaras: 'If Brahma's age is hundred years, a day and night of his is a Kalpa (stated to be 8.67 billion years) comprising 28 Manvantaras; each Manvantara has 71 Maha Yugas and each Maha Yuga has 4.3 million years. (Satya Yuga is stated to be of 40 percent of Maha Yuga, Treta Yuga 30 percent, Dwapara Yuga 20 percent and Kali Yuga is 10 percent) But between each Manvantara, there is stated to be a gap of four yugas called Yuga Sandhi, while the intermediate time between Kalpas is Prati Sandhi. Each Kalpa has two parts: Purvaartha and Parartha. We are now in Varaha Kalpa (there are stated to be of thirty such Kalpaas) and Vaivaswara Manvantara while Brahma's age is calculated as 51 years and the first night! As Brahma spent his thousand Yugas long first night, he found water all around and resurrected Earth again -and on the broad lines of what Varaha Swarupa indicated- materialised formally the Chatur Lokaas, Sapta Dwipas and Sapta Samudras. He revived the Srishti of Antariksha, Sun, Moon and other Planets, Pitras, Time, Yugas, Purusharthas of Dharma-Artha-

Kaama-and Mokshas. From his first face of the 'Chaturmukha', he created Gayatri, Ruks, Yagni related Agni shtoma etc; Veda Vangmaya, Veda Chhandas, and various Agni-Karyas; from his Southern Face were generated Yajur Veda, Traishthub Chhandas; Panchadasa Stomas and Brihat Stoma; from his western face emerged Saama Suktaas, Jagati Chhandas, Papta dasa Stoma; Atiraatra of Jyotishthoma etc; from Brahma's fourth Face emerged Atharva Veda, Anushtub and Vairaaja Chhanda etc. Through out the Yuga Periods, there were countless species of Creation were materialised of 'Charaachara' or mobile and Immobile nature, defying description. (Brahmanda Purana)

Kalki Devi approached Narayana in the form of 'Vamana' who in turn enabled a Brahmana called Kama Sharma and his wife Devahuti on the banks of Yamuna River; he blessed that this couple would give birth to Bhoga Simha and Keli Simha. These two sons would stay in a Kreedavati Nagar and would carry out the wishes of Kali Yuga Devi, especially in the task of wide-spread 'Varna-sankara' or destroying the Rules of 'Varnashrama. Over two thousand years, the established Regulations made by Lord Brahma and the successive Manus would get thinner and thinner and by the Second Paada of Kali Yuga, Kali Devata would be happy to witness that the old Vedic values would be obliterated, that the Daityamaya human beings (fully soaked in Daitya activities) would be of two-and-half feet height, that their life span would be forty years maximum (as against hundred years now) and that they would be free like birds without any 'Karmic regulations! At the end of the Kali's second half there would neither by the institutions of marriages, nor Kingships, nor any social reformer and not even a Karma Karta! The World would be full of the progeny of Bhogi Simha and Keli Simha ane this kind of a situation devoid of customs and social norms woud prevail for one and quarter lakh years!! In the Third Quarter of Kali Yuga, the average age of human beings would be twenty six years maximum; Bhringha Muni along with his wife Saurabhi would create Kaulakalpa-named beings who would not hesitate to eat human beings/kinnaras. These new species of Kaulakalpas would resort to beastly affairs with mothers, sisters and daughters! They would be too sex-blinded and produce too many children and resort to affairs with co-males and animals! In the fourth phase of Kali Yuga the maximum age of humans would not exceed tewnty years and live like water-beasts and animals; hells like Tamistra and worse kinds of frightening Places of Retribution would be over-populated. As Yama Dharma Raja found that the influx of dead Beings was assuming alarming proportions, he and Chitra Gupta approached Indra Deva and later on to Brahma Deva and the latter declared that soon enough there would be an 'Avatar' (Incarnation) of Vishnu Deva as Kalki Deva; he would be fully armed with 'Kahdga' (Long sword) whose reach would be unimaginably long and widespread as also with a 'Kavacha' (Body-Cover) and 'Dhaal'or Protective Shield, mounted on a huge horse, travelling on 'Yoga Marga' for sixteen thousand years and would turn the entire 'Srishti' to ashladen devastation! At that time, there would be a cloud burst producing the Great Annihilation of the Universe under alarming and incessant rain called 'Pralaya'! That would be the fresh 'Srishti'heralding the new cycle of Yugas ab initio!! (Bhavishya Purana)]

Sarga Forty:Suddenly Sugriva spotted Ravana at his residential roof, was unable to control to contol his anger jumped down challenging him for 'malla yuddha'- as Ravana felt that Sugriva was too good and thus disappeared.

[Vishleshana on 'Malla Yuddha Chatur Mandala Prakaara and Shashtha Sthaana Vivarana' by Bharata Muni.

Chatur Mandala: 1.Chaari Madala 2.Karana Mandala 3.Khanda Mandala and 4. Maha Mandala. The features of the Madalas respectively are jumping forward with a single foot self pradakshima and kick the opponent- self pradakshina by both the feet and kick the opponent- vividha pradakshina' and kick-and fourthly the Maha Mandala with aneka pradakshna.

Shashtha Sthaana: Vaishnava-Sama Paada-Vaishakha-Mandala-Pratyaalodha- Anaalodha or foot movements before the impending kicks as per placements of the foot steps forward or back ward before the start of kicks as of lions, tigers, bhallukas or leopards].

Sarga Forty Three: Dwandva Yuddhha of Ravana- Vaanara Bhallukas day long yuddha between Indrajit- Angada, Jambumali- Hanuman, Shatrughna-Vibhishana, Gaja-Neela, Prathasa-Sugriva, Virupasha-Lakshmana and so on.

[Vishleshana on Maheshwara-Andhakaasura dwandhva yuddha'

Andhaka was the son of Daitya Hiranyaaksha of Varaaha Avataara fame of Vishnu Deva; the latter killed the Daitya as he sought to pull down Bhu Devi to Rasatala. In his own right, **Andhaka** was highly ill-famed having secured the boon of invincibility from Brahma, overthrew Indra and Devas from Swarga and made them shelterless besides tormenting Sages and the Virtuous. Devas, Brahma an Vishnu had all aproached Maha Deva as the atrocites of Andhaka became unbearable. Shiva was present at the battle field and asked Devas to fight but Andhaka became too powerful to Indra and Devas. Playfully, Maha Deva lifted up the Daitya and dangled and suspended him by the Trishula exposing him to the heat and high temperature of Surya Deva on the Sky. The Daitya realised the Supremacy of Maha Deva and commenced his Prayers. Shiva was pleased as Andhaka said: Bhagavan Deva Devesha! Bhaktaarthihara Shankara Twayi Bhaktihvpraseedesha yadi Deyo Varaschamey/ The Daitya was blessed by Maha Deva to secure the unique position of 'Ganaadhipatya'. Source Linga Purana]

Sarga Forty Five: As Rama Lakshmanas were tied down by 'Nagaastra' by Indrajit in hiding ,Vaanara Shreashthas tried to locate him who too were the victims of Indrajit's astras as the bewildered Maha Vanaras broke down too. [Vishleshana on Indrajit]

Meghanada was an expert in magical warfare, sorcery and mantratanras besides Brahmaastra, Vaishnavaastra and pashupatastra by the boons of Brahma, married to Sulochana, the daughter of the Shesha Naaga. During the battle between the Devas and Ravana, Lord Indra, accompanied by Devas captured Ravana. To rescue his father, Meghanada attacked Indra and his elephant Airavat, defeated all the Devas, even Indra. Meghanada tied and mounted Indra onto his celestial chariot and dragged him to Ravana in Lanka. Ravana and Meghanada decided to kill Indra. At this juncture, Brahma intervened and asked Meghanada to free Indra. Meghanada obliged and was granted a boon from Brahma. Meghanada asked for immortality, but Brahma remarked that absolute immortality is against the law of the nature. Instead, he was then granted another boon that after the completion of the Yagna of Pratayangira or the 'Nikumbhila yagna' and get a celestial chariot, mounting on which, he could win over any enemy in war and become invulnerable. But Brahma also cautioned him that whosoever would destroy this yagna would also kill him. Brahma was highly impressed by Meghanada's valor in this war and it was he who gave him the name Indrajit, the conqueror of Indra. It is also believed that Meghanada was granted another boon by Brahma in which it was promised to him that he would only be killed by such a human who hadnot slept for twelve years. Indrajit was trained under the guidance of Daanava Rakshasa Guru Shukra and obtained several divine shastra astras. Shastras are weapon like sword, lance, mace or dics. Astras include Mohana, Prahsmaana, Krouncha, Varshana, Shoshana, Santaapana, Paishaacha, Naaga, Garuda, Agneya, Varuna, Vayavya, Mohini, Brahma, Brahmanda, Paashupata, Naraayanaadi.]

Sarga Forty Eight: As Sita was broken down in disbelief, she wondered whether whether Saamudrika Shastra -and Astrological Precepts were truthful assuring final success, but Trijata assured so too yet with.hurdles.

[Vishleshana on Samudrika Shastra: on women in general: 'Padmini, Chatrini, Shankhini and Hastini are four kinds of women. Padmini, or Lotus-woman has a pleasing face as the full moon; her body with soft flesh, head like mustard-flower; her skin is tender and fair as the yellow lotus, never dark-coloured, though resembling, in the effervescence and purple light of her youth, the cloud about to burst. Her eyes are bright and beautiful as the orbs of the fawn, well-cut, and with reddish corners. Her bosom is hard, full and high; her neck is goodly shaped as the conch-shell, so delicate that the saliva can be seen through it; her nose is straight and lovely, and three folds of wrinkles cross her middle, about the umbilical region. Her Yoni resembles the open lotus-bud, and her Love-seed (Kama-salila, the water of life) is perfumed like the lily which has newly burst. She walks with swanlike gait, and her voice is low and musical as the note of the Kokila-bird; she delights in white raiment, in fine jewels, and in rich dresses. She eats little, sleeps lightly and, being as respectable and religious, she is clever and courteous, she is ever anxious to worship the gods, and to enjoy the conversation of Brahmans. Such, then, is the Padmini, or Lotuswoman. Samudrika Shastra further prescribes the grace of a woman's body as raised, smooth and soft as a lotus flower, without veins showing up and with no visible hair is the sign of a Queen. Veins showing up indicates that she will have to travel a lot. Hair on feet denotes servitude and if feet are lean, bony or without flesh, it is an indication that she is sexually undesirable. Even heels denote that she is good for companionship; Stout undesirable sexually; High loose in character and Long of misery. Legs (portion below knee) Even, smooth, without hair, without veins showing up, are signs of a girl destined to enjoy life fully. Knees Round, smooth, good looking knees are lucky indications. Loose knees indicate poverty. Bony knees without flesh connote loose character. Thighs:Fleshy, round, like an elephant's trunk or the trunk of a plantain tree, spacing between thighs being very little, without hair, denote that she is good enough to be married by a King. Waist circumference not exceeding the width of 24 fingers (approx. 15 to 16") with well developed hips denote full happiness. Flat, long, without flesh, caved in or hairy waist forebodes widowhood and misery. Hips Raised fleshy hips (like water melon) and well spread indicate full happiness. Sexual Organ Hidden, pink coloured, curved like the back of tortoise or an elephant's trunk and smooth is highly auspicious. If shaped like the feet or deer or furnace, with hard hair, indicates evil. If the left side is raised, she will beget more girl children while a raised right side denotes more boys. If the organ is shaped like a conch, she will be barren. Bottom of Stomach (portion below navel) is Soft, spread out and slightly raised is highly auspicious. Hairy, veins showing up and full of lines (folds or wrinkles) indicate misery. Navel Deep, with right turn is auspicious. Raised with left turn is inauspicious. Sides of Stomach Well spread indicates many sons. If sides resemble that of a frog's, her son will become a King. Raised sides indicate childlessness. Fold/wrinkle denote slavish tendency. Long sides denote birth of a Sandow. Ribs Good luck will result if the portion covering ribs is smooth and fleshy' Chest even and without hair is lucky and auspicious. Breasts Of equal size, fleshy, round and firm but close together are lucky. Raised right breast indicates many sons; left breast, if raised, indicates more of girls. If the portion surrounding the partition is round and good looking, good luck. Pressed in or unusually small indicates bad luck. Shoulders: Even, well built and without the joints showing up are lucky signs. Armpits Soft, with small smooth hair is lucky; deep, full of perspiration and showing out veins in unlucky. Arms Fleshy, soft,round and with veins not showing is lucky. If thumbs take the shape of a lotus bud, she is fit to be married by a King. Bent or bony denotes bad luck. Palms Red, raised in the middle, fingers evenly spaced with few lines on palm is a very auspicious sign. Back of Hands Soft without hair, well-built is lucky]

Sarga Fifty: Vibhishana distressed at Lakshmana unrecovered, Rama decides to withdraw from the battle; Sushena advises Hanuman to get herbs from Sanjeevani Parvata-Garuda lands frees from 'naaga bandhana'

[Visheshana on Garuda Deva, the Vinata Nandana

Vinata and Kadru were among the two wives of Kashyapa Muni. Kadru hatched thousands of eggs creating snakes while Vinata hatched only two. Vinata broke one egg and found a child named Aruna but was deformed. Eventually Aruna became the charioteer of Surya Deva. In a mutual bet, Vinata and

Kadru out of playfulness; the bet was as to which colour was of Ucchaishrava the celestial horse born during ksheera saagara mathana; Vinata replied that the horse was white but the bet was lost since the horse's tail was black. Vinata lost the bet and became Kadru's servant and served her as also the progeny of snakes. The second son of Vinata named Garuda too was born weak with a beak and wings like an eagle but with the features of a human. As Garuda grew up he noticed that his mother was a slave and did all the domestic work including looking after the snake children. The latter used to tauntingly address *Garuda as the son of Vinata and order him to give him rides on the sky. One day, Garuda was ordered by Kadru to take all her snake children to a near by island while Vinata should carry herself. In anger and disgust Garuda carried the snake children too high on the sky and the latter were half burnt by the heat of Surya Deva. Then as the snake kids screamed and Kadru prayed to Indra who instatantly saved them by rain showers. On landing back, Garuda told the serpent kids that he could keep on taking to many islands but on the condition that her mother be freed from the slavery. But Vinata disagreed and asked Garuda to strengthen his body by reaching Himalayas and lifting big tortoises and elephants to eat.Guruda did so and eventually made his body mighty and invincible. One day he found an elephant and tortoises and having lifted them, placed the preys on a srong branch of a huge tree to settle down and eat. But Vakalhilya Sages of miniature sizes hanging down the branch realised that the massive bird could fly them down to an island near by and befriended them by calling it as 'Garuda' or the one who could lift up massive loads. He helped them and they suggested to approach swarga on the high skies to secure amrit for longevity. As Garuda was nearing Swarga, Indra got concerened about the mighty sky and ran to Brihaspati. The latter, having realised the purpose of Garuda to lift amrita drops, alerted all the Devas including Vayu- Varuna- Agni-and so on and even the vajrayudha of Indra could not stop Garuda who finally did secure a pot of amrit and desired that his mother be freed from her slavery too. On way back, Vishnu appeared and smilingly offered that he could be his 'vaahana' for ever.! [Repeat of Essence of Valmiki Ayodhya Ramayana]

Sarga Sixty Nine: As Ravana felt the never dreamt of Kumbhakarna's fall ,Trishira cooled down his anguish while Ravana Putras /cousin kumaras readied yet Narakantaka too resisted much as Angada removed him dead-

[Vishleshana on a) Shambarasura and Indra and b) Narakasura and Vishnu:

a) Indra was stated to have killed Shambarashra in Trita Yuga's Ramayana and Dwapara Yuga's Indraavataara's Pradyumna the son of Shri Krishna and Devi Rukmini; the latter is as given follows: Pradyumna was born to Rukmini and Krishna and the son looked exactly like Krishna. When he was hardly ten days old, Demon Sambara kidnapped the child not knowing that he was the son of Krishna threw him in the Sea as a huge fish ate him but the child was safe in its belly. A fisherman caught hold of the big fish and presented it to the King Sambara who in turn gave it to Mayavati the head cook of the King's kitchen who cut the fish to find an attractive baby inside. At that very juncture, Brahmarshi Narada appeared in the kitchen and revealed the Story to Mayavati of Lord Rudra turning 'Manmadha' (Cupid) into ashes when he and Rati (Cupid's wife) aimed Floral Arrows. Lord Rudra gave boons that in their next birth, Cupid would be born as Lord Krishna's son Pradyumna and Mayavati as Rati. As Pradyumna grew as a youngman, Mayavati desired to marry him despite wide difference of age. Pradyumna was popularly known as 'Vyuha' as the Lord of Intelligence, along with three of His other names viz Vasudeva (Lord of Consciousness); Sankarshana (Lord of Individuality) and Aniruddha (Lord of Intelligence). Eventually Pradyumna killed Sambara, married Mayavati and stayed with Rukmini and Krishna at Dwaraka.

b) Narakasura (Bhaumika): The end of notorious Bhaumika, the son of Bhumi (Demi-Goddess of Earth), is celebrated till date on the moon fall day preceding Kartika Month of every year as 'Deepavali' (The Festival of Lights). Krishna, accompanied by Satyabhama flew by Garuda to 'Pragjyotisha', Capital City of Bhaumasura [now in Assaam], surrounded by mountains and ramparts defended by fire, water and unmanned automatic weapons as also protected by 'Mura Pasha'- thousand miles-long deadly and sturdy

wires as designed by Demon Mura. Krishna shattered the defence fortresses and blew His Panchajanya (Conch shell) with deadening reverberation as Demon Mura's frontal fortification was destroyed. When provoked, the Demon tossed his powerful club which was slashed by Krishna's Sudarsana Chakra into pieces and devastated Mura. Seven deadly sons of Mura, who had the knowledge of weapons as fully as their father, pounced in a group but Krishna's Supreme powers were no match and they too were cracked. Bhaumasura shot at his 'Shataghni'- the powerful disc with hundred blades- and later on with his mighty spear with which he defeated Indra too both of which proved futile. Finally Krishna gave His nod to Sudarsana Chakra (Wheel) to pull down the Demon and exterminate him. Thus Bhaumasura was sent to 'Naraka'and hence his ignominious title as Narakasura.[Another version is that the Demon was arrowed down by Satyabhama herself, as he secured a blessing from Lord Brahma that only his mother Goddess of Earth (Bhumi) could kill him; Satyabhama was the reincarnation of Goddess Earth. It was at Indra's distress call that received Krishna's attention was that the Asura appropriated Varuna Deva's Royalty Insignia which was an Umbrella; the Ear- Rings of Aditi- the Mother- Figure of Devas; and 'Mani Parvata' (Mandara Mountain) where Demi-Gods resided were among the abominable acts of the Demon. As a gesture of good-will, Satyabhama's desire to transfer the 'Parijata' Tree (which emerged in the churning process of Ocean) to her garden from the Heaven was obliged by Indra. Krishna on His part released sixteen thousand royal maidens of Kings defeated by Bhaumasura and consented to marry them, in addition to the eight principal wives. Goddess Prithvi sought her apology for her son's sins and reiterated her own devotion to Krishna. She said: 'I was blessed with a son (Bhaumika) and thus you gave me a son and now took him away too now! Please accept the Kundala and other possessions as he has died now but do kindly spare his progeny of any blames. Achyuta! You are the Creator-Protector and Terminator and the Unique Form of the Universe; how could I indeed acclaim and commend you; Do forgive your own son Narakasura for his misdeeds!

Sarga Eighty Seven:Indrajit heckles Vibhishana for discarding his 'swadhama' to join Rama but Vibhishana details of his Poulastya ancestry, highlights Ravana's 'duraachaaras' and to get ready to be soon killed by Lakshmana!

[Vishleshana on Bhuta Bali

Maha Bhuta Bali of Earth-Water-Fire-Air-and Sky; Bhuteshwara Bali or feeding Sacred Divinity; Vastu bali or nitya naivedya of puja material including havana paatras-Bhuta srishti or creation of illusions as for instanace the illusion of Maya Sita referred to in previous sargas - Bali Daana or oblations in respect of sacrifices including human-horse - goat- chicken sacrifices and also Bhuta Daya.

In this very context Dharma Sindhu details as follows: 'The Kartha should first perform Pancha Yagnas, pick up the 'seshaghritanna' from the Bhojana Paatra, serve it with his right hand wearing a knotless pavitra, stating Om Bhur -bhuvasswaha tat savitur varenyam bhargo Devasya dheemahi, does the 'abhimantrana' and Satyamtwartena parishimchaami/ (in the nights Rutamtwa satyena parishimchami); after doing the 'parishena', state Antascharati bhuteshu guhaayaam Vishwato mukhah, Twam yagnastwam vashatkaarastwam Vishnuh Purusha parah/, offer three Balis uttering Bhupataye namah, Bhuvana pataye namah, Bhutaanaam pataye namah/ or Chitraaya, Chitra guptaaya, Yamaaya, Yama Dharmaauya, Sarva Bhutebhyah as the fourth Bali; ensure that his hands, feet and face are wet, take water in hand for 'Aouposshana' stating Annam Brahma Raso Vishnuh, Aham Vaishvaanaro bhutwa/; drink the water uttering Amritopastaranamasi, keep silent for a while to perform five Aahutis to the face / mouth picking up five morsels of food with all the fingers stating: Om Pranaaya swaaha, Om Apanaaya swaha, Om Vyanaaya swaha, Om Udaanaaya swaha, Om Samaanaaya swaaha and the sixth word Om Brahmaney swaaha/ The Karta should not touch the Jala Patra till the 'praanaahutis' are over and then touch it and while observing silence commence eating the Bhojana. It is the best facing the East or West while eating; seating southward provides fulfillment and fame; facing North is of medium value; but one should never eat facing in the 'Vidishas']

Sarga Eighty Eight: Lakshmana-Indrajit exchange of hot words followed by fierce battle mutually yet physically hurting each other on and on but never tired despite blisters and flows of blood as Vibhishana attacked Indrajit.

[Vishleshana on Panchaagnis:

The Panchagnis are Garhyapatya Agni for cooking in homes-Aavahaniya to invoke Surya Deva-Dakshinagni or Atmosphric Agni in the form of Lightnings or that which is invoked in Dakshina disha, Saabya and Avaastya for Vedic Purposes; Agnis various Synonyms include Anala, Bhuriteja, Chitra bhanu, Havya vahana, Hutaashana, Jaateveda, Jwala, Parthiva, Paavaka, Plavanga, Rudra garva, Hiranya krita, Shikhee, Vaishwanara, Vibhavasu and so on; Sapta Jihvaas or tongues of Agni are stated to be Hiranya, Kanaka, Rakta, Arakta, Suprabha, Bahurupa, Sattee; another version is Vishwa murti, Sphalini, Dhhumavarna, Manojava, Lohitasya, Karaalasya and Kaali; the Agni Swarupas for performing offerings are as follows viz. for Nitya Karma the type of Agni is called Prabha-Pushpa homa / Bahurupa-Anna and Kheera homa / Krishna Agni- Ikshu homa/ Paraaga-Padm homa/ Suvarna or Lohita-Bilwa homa /Shweta-Tila homa/ Dhumni-Kaashtha or wooden pieces of various trees / Karaalika-Pitru homa/Lohitasya and Deva homa /Manojava; (Narada-Markandeya-Bhavishya Puranas)

Katha Upanishad while detailing the Five Fires emphasises the deeds of virtue, need for control of body organs and senses to seek the identity of nner Consciousness and the Supreme. *Ritam pibantau sukrutasya lokeguhaam pravishtau parame paraadhye, Chaayaa tapau brahmavido vadanti panchaagnayo ye chatrinaachiketaah*/ (Both the Self and the Supreme are stated to be encased in the secret cavity of one's own heart as the two shades of illumination: one who enjoys of good 'Karma' or the fruits of acts of virtue and another the Supreme himself! Those seekers worship the **Panchaagnis or Five Fires** viz. Garhapatya, Aahavaneeya, Dakshinaagni, Sabhya and Aavasatya representing Heaven, Cloud, Earth, Man and Woman, as also perform the Naachiketa Sacrifice thrice; they also enjoy the resultant fruits of deeds. These two kinds of entities who do or do not do so are well defined: those who drink the juice of Truth as flown from 'Sukruta'or works of virtue and the others who do not; these are the 'chhatriah yaanti' or those distinguished under the regal symbols of Umbrellas! Now, the Supreme is encased in the heart's cavity as also as Omnipresent all over the length and breadh of the Universe; that is 'Parame paraardhe' or the Uniqueness Beyond!)]

Sarga Hundred and Thirteen: Hanuman reached Ashoka Vaatika for Sita darshanatalked at length - she complemented him a lot yet desired not to kill the rakshasis who were after all instructed by Ravana - both proceeded to Rama.

[Vishleshana on Ashtanga Gunas]; [Vishleshana on Hunter-Tiger-Bhalluka reference by Devi Sita to Hanuman as the latter asked her permission to destroy rakshasis threatening her for months].

Ashtanga Gunaas: Shushruusa shravana chauva grahanam dhaaranam tathaa, vuuyuupohottha vigjnaanam tatva jnaanam cha dheergunaanah/Great interest in hearing and absorbing, grahana shakti, smarana shakti, tarka vitarka, siddhika nishchaya, and ardha jnaana are the asta buddhi gunaas]

Hunter-Tiger-Bhalluka reference by Devi Sita to Hanuman as the latter asked her permission to destroy rakshasis threatening her for months.

A tiger in a forest chased a hunter who ran and climbed a huge tree for protection. But a bhalluka was already there atop the maha vriksha. Down there, the tiger yelled at the bhalluka stating that although we seel to kill each other mutually but to both of us should a common enemy the hunter and as such you

either kill the hunter or throw him down to me to kill me as we may share his dead body. Bur the bhalluka spared the hunter instead!']

Sarga Hundred and Fifteen: Rama asserted that he underwent several issues to resurrect Dharma although Sita's freedom now was only incidental - as she stayed under Ravana's care for long, he would free her seeking her own comfort

[Visleshana on Agastya Maharshi and Daitya brothers Vaataapi and Ilvala as sourced from Matsya Purana

Agastya absorbed the entire Ocean in his Kamandulu to isolate the Danavas to enable Indra to kill the notorious Danavas and released it later as his urine and was thus stated to be salty!; he also razed down the ego of Vindhya Mountain by making him bend for ever thus banning the Mountain to stoop for ever till the Sage's return which never happened as he continued to stay down the Vindhyas. There was also the legend attributed to Agastya about the Daitya brothers Ilvala and Vatapi, who knew the Mrita Sanjeevani Mantra; they would assume the forms of Brahmanas and seek the passers by to tempt them to a feast of goat-meat, and after consuming the meal ask Vatapi to come out and Vapati would come out piercing through the tummy of the stranger and the brothers would enjoy his meat. But Agastya Muni was too clever to bless the good food saying 'Vatapi! Jeerno bhava' and Vatapi was fully digested even before Ilvala was able to recite the Mrita Sanjeevani Mantra!]

Sarga Hundred and Seventeen: As Devi Sita entered 'agni jvaalaas'set by Lakshmana with Rama's implicit awareness, sarva deva mandali headed by Brahma praised Rama as of Vishnu avatara and Sita as Maha Lakshmi of Ashta Vasus, Ekaadasha Rudras, Saadhaka Devataas, and Ashvini Kumaraas.

[Vishleshana of Ashta Vasus, Ekaadasha Rudras, Saadhaka Devataas, and Ashvini Kumaraas.

Ashtaa Vasus were Aapa, Dhruva, Soma, Dhara, Anila, Anala, Pratyusha and Prabhaasa. Ekaadasha Rudras were. Mahan, Mahatma, Mariman, Bhishana, Ritudhwaja, Urthvakesha, Pingalaaksha, Rucha Shuchi and Kaalaagni. Twelve Saadhta Devataas were. Anumanta, Praana, Nara, Veeryayaan, Chiti, Haha, Naya, Hamsa, Naraayana, Prabhava and Vibhu and two Ashviki Kumaraas the celestial physicians were Naasatya and Dashnna. (Also refer to Essence of Valmiki Sundara Kaanda Sarga Twenty Three)]

[Brief Vihleshana on select Purusha Sukta's select stanzas :

Sahasra Sirsha Purshah Sahasraakshah Sahasra paat, Sa Bhubim Vishvato Vritwaa Atyatishthaddashaagulam/ Bhagawan/ Maha Purusha who has countless heads,eyes and feet is omnipresent but looks compressed as a ten-inch measured Entity! Purusha ye Vedagum sarvam yadbhutam yaccha bhavyam, Utaamritatwa--syeshaanah yadanney naa ti rohati/ He is and was always present submerging the past and the future and is indestrucible and far beyond the ephemeral Universe etaavaa nasya Mahimaa Atojjyaaya -gumscha Puurushah, Paadosya Vishwa Bhutaani Tripaadasya -amritam Divi/ What ever is visualised in the Creation is indeed a minute fraction of His magnificence and what ever is compehensible is but a quarter of the Eternal Unknown. Tripaadurdhwa Udait Purushaha Paadosyehaa bhavaatpunah, Tato Vishvan -gvyakraamat saashanaa nashaney abhi/ (Threefourths of the Unknown apart, one fourth emerged as the Universe and the Maha Purusha is manifested across the Totality of the Beings including the animate and inanimate worlds. Tasmaadwiraadajaayata ViraajoAdhi Puurushah, Sa jaato Atyarichyata paschaadbhumimatho purah/ From out of that Adi Purusha, the Brahmanda came into Existence and Brahma spread himself all over and became Omni Present. Then He created Earth and Life to Praanis.]

Sarga Hundred and Ninteen: Maha Deva complemented Rama and pointed out at Dasharadha's Soul from Swarga as the latter blessed Rama stating that he redeemed his soul as Ashtavakra did to his father and assured Kingship with glory. [Vishleshana on Ashtavarka and his father Kahola].

[Vishleshana on Ashtavarka and his father Kahola: Maharshi Aruni taught Vedas as highlighted in Chaandogya Upanishad in his ashram. Kahoda was one of his students, along with Aruni's daughter Sujata. Aruni's daughter married Kahoda. She got pregnant, and during her pregnancy, the male child heard the chanting of the Vedas by his father and corrected the recitation as the father got angry and cursed him as eight deformities of the and was thus named as 'Ashtavakra. Maharshi Ashtavakra was the author of Ashtavakra Samhita underlining human nature and essence individual freedom vis a vis the Supreme Reality and their mutual interaction the Self and the Supreme. He undersored Atmajnaaa as Almighty Brahman enters each and every Being from Brahma to a piece of grass as the Antaratma or the Self- Conscience. The easiest yet the most difficult question ever is Kah ayam atmaa or which is that Self worship worthy! The reply would be the Antaratma or the Inner Consciousness: the expressions such as 'Samjnaanam' or the emotive sentience being the state of consciousness, 'vigjnaanam' or worldly awareness or knowledge, 'praginaanam' or instant mental responsiveness, 'medha' or brain power and retention capacity, 'drishti' or discernment and perception through senses, 'mathih' or capacity to think pros and cons, 'manisha' or mastertminded skill of planning, 'juutih' or capacity of forbearance, smriti or memory power, 'sankalpa' or ability to initiate and decide, 'kratuh' or tenacity and dedication, 'asuh' or calculated sustenance, 'kaamah' or craving obsession all ending up in 'Vashah' or forceful possession; all these are rolled into one word viz. Conscience or the super imposition of the totality of senses viz. speech, vision, touch, taste and generation. It is indeed that kind of ascent of self consciousness that submerges karta-karma-kriya into Brahman, once mortals attain at least of intervals of Immortality Final Sarga Hundred Twenty Eight: Bharata's handing over Ayodhya Rajya-Sita Rama Nagara Yatra-Rajyabhisheka- [Brief Vishleshana on Rama Rajya from Agni Purana] Brief Vishleshana on Rama Rajya from Agni Purana :Rama Rajya: The perception, as to how a King should govern his Kingdom and the Subjects, was illustrated by Lord Rama to Laksmana. Agni Purana has described Rama's Percepts of an Ideal King: A King has to create wealth, increase it, protect it, and donate it. He should be humble-the humility arising out of victory, essentially after defeating the human senses of revenge, anger and retribution. He should be strong, magnanimous and forgiving, kind and protective. His support to the inferior and the needy is as significant as to punish and uproot the wicked and harmful. The human vices of greed, lust, dishonesty are but the reflections of a sick mind, which has no conviction or courage or helpfulness to the needy. Rama also advised considerable patience to deal with the timid, haughty and hurtful as these are indeed the traits of a villian. Once there is no ray of remorse and there is no trace of recovery from the pent-up senses of ego, impoliteness and audacity, then the time to end the culprit has arrived.]

Essence of Uttara Ramayana

Sarga Four

Agastya then narrated to Rama about the origins and lives of Heti-Vidyutkesha-Sukesha Rakshasaas

[Vishleshana on Madhu Kaitabhas from Devi Bhagavata Purana

Vishnu destroys Madhu Kaitabha brothers : When Maha Vishnu was in Yoga Nidra in a comfortable posture of lying on the bed of Ananta Naga, two Demon brothers named Madhu and Kaitabha were born

from the wax of Maha Vishnu's ears. Their birth was a mystery and unknown as felt by the brothers themselves whose physical forms grew fast and strong day by day, even as they were playing in the ocean surroundings, killing various kinds of aquatic species for food or play. Coming of age in course of time, the Demon brothers with huge bodies and proportionate common sense too, realised that there must have been a Massive Force which alone could have given birth to them. From the air, they heard a sound 'Vagbija' the Seed Mantra (Seed 'Bija' and 'Vak' the Speech of Goddess Sarasvati). To start with fun, but later on with maturity, they kept on practising the sound for years together, little realising the impact of the Mantra's repetition. In fact, they became so obsessed with the Mantra that they neither had food nor sleep, but with full concentration and utmost sincerity. 'The Parashakti's Voice emerged from the Skies that the Danava brothers would be invincible in the entire Universe provided they were united and fight two-some. Blessed by Maha Devi, the two brothers became swollen with pride and eventually attacked Lord Brahma Himself. On realising that they were unconquerable, Brahma who was seated on the lotushead sprouting from Maha Vishnu's navel, tried the age-old four means. He tried to use 'Sama (Counselling) 'Dana' (Gifting or bribing), 'Bheda' (put one against another) and finally 'Danda' (Punish), but neither of these media appeared feasible; he ran away to Vaikuntha for protection but Maha Vishnu was in Yoga Nidra. Brahma had thus prayed to Yoga Nidra Devi to prompt Maha Vishnu to wake up. It was actually Maha Maya's discretion which mattered as Vishnu Himself could not regain consciouness on His own. The concentrate of 'Tamo Guna'- Maha Maya - was earnestly prayed to by Brahma, as this was a prestige issue for him and the entire domain of Gods! Maha Maya left Vishnu free and He was fully woken up to face the challenge of the hour, viz. to either manipulate or massacre the brothers, Madhu and Kaitabha. Lord Vishnu invited the brothers to fight with Himself. The fight continued for five thousand years but without a tangible result. As the Demons were clashing one after another and Lord Vishnu was in duel singly, the latter asked the brothers to give a break as it was against Justice that they took alternate positions while He was alone. During the break, Vishnu prayed to Maha Shakti and complained that the fight was unfair and that they were also given by Her the boon of voluntary death or 'Svacchanda Maranam'. Maha Shakti realised the lacuna in the duel and advised Vishnu to give boons to the brothers so that a way out would automatically open up. Meanwhile, Maha Sakti agreed to be present at the fight in physical form and disturb the concentration of the Demon brothers by casting Her fake amorous looks. This encouraged Vishnu to convey the Demons that their duel with Him was of great quality and thus He was ready to give boons to them. They got into the trap as they boasted that they were prepared to give boons to Him instead of the other way around. Vishnu grabbed the opportunity and said that He be given the boon of their death by killing each other! The brothers gave an excuse that the boon could be given only provided there was no water or wetness in the Ocean. Vishnu expanded his thighs manifold so that there could be adequate space for the killings. The Demons expanded their bodies too and thus the thighs of Vishnu and the body sizes of the brothers kept on increasing horizontally and vertically proportionately. Finally, the illusion created by Vishnu proved stronger and the brothers had to yield to their own killings. Thus Maha Shakti who assumed human physique and paved the way to the killings of the Danava brothers without breaking the Rules of 'Dharma Yuddha', partly by trickery and partly by Maya or Illusion.]

Sarga Eleven - <u>Kubera as per his father's advice leaves Lankapuri for Kailasa and Ravana's Rajya Pattabhisheka</u>

[Vishleshana on the lineage of Kashyapa Vamsha from Brahma Purana

Kashyapa married thirteen of Daksha's daughters. Their names were Aditi, Diti, Danu, Arishta, Surasa, Khasa, Surabhi, Vinata. Tamra, Krodhavasha, Ila, Kadru and Muni. Aditi's sons were the twelve gods known as the adityas. Their names were Vishnu, Shakra. Aryama, Dhata, Vidhata, Tvashta, Pusha, Vivasvana, Savita, MitraVaruna, Amsha and Bhaga. Diti's sons were the daityas (demons). They were named Hiranyaksha and Hiranyakashipu, and amongst their descendants were several other powerful

daityas liked Bali and Banasura. Diti also had a daughter named Simhika who was married to a danava named Viprachitti. Their offspring's were terrible demons like Vatapi, Namuchi, Ilvala, Maricha and the Nivatakavachas. The hundred sons of Danu came to be known as danavas. The danavas were thus cousins to the daityas and also to the adityas. In the danava line were born demons like the Poulamas and Kalakeyas. Arishta's sons were the Gandharvas (singers of heaven). Surasa gave birth to sarpas, the snakes. Khasa's children were the Yakshas (demi-gods who were the companions of Kubera, the god of Wealth) and the Rakshasas. Surabhi's descendants were cows and buffaloes. Vinata had two sons named Aruna and Garuda. Garuda became the king of the birds. Tamra has six daughters. From these daughters were born owls, eagles, vultures, crows, water-fowl, horses, camels and donkeys. Krodhavasha had fourteen thousand children known as nagas (snakes). Ila gave birth to trees, creepers, shrubs and bushes. Kadru's sons were also known as nagas or snakes. Among the more important of Kadru's sons were Ananta, Vasuki, Takshaka and Nahusha. Muni gave birth to the Apsaras (dancers of heaven). Diti's children (daityas) and Aditi's children (Adityas) continually fought amongst themselves. On one particular occasion, Devas succeeded in killing many of the demons. Thirsting for revenge, Diti began to pray to her husband, Kashyapa that she be given birth to a son who would kill Indra, the king of the Devas. Kashyapa found it difficult to refuse his wife outright but gave a condition that she would have to bear the son in your womb for a hundred years. Diti resolved to do so but Indra came to know about Diti's resolve and was waiting for an opportunity to save himself. There was an occasion when, tired after her prayers. Diti went to sleep without first washing her feet. This was an unclean act and it gave Indra the required opportunity. He adopted a miniscule form and entered Diti's womb. With his weapon vajra, he sliced up the baby inside the womb into seven parts. The baby naturally began to cry at the pain. Indra kept on saying, 'ma ruda' that is, 'don't cry.' But the baby, or rather its seven parts, would not listen. Indra thereupon sliced up each of the seven parts into seven more sections, so that there were forty-nine sections in all. When these forty-nine sections were born, they came to be known as the Maruts, from the words - ma ruda- that Indra had addressed them. Since Diti had not been able to adhere to the conditions her husband had set, the Maruts did not kill Indra. They instead became Indra's followers or companions, and were treated as Devas.]

Sarga Sixteen - <u>Dashagriva visited 'Sharavana Sarkandavana' as the pushpaka vimana was halted by Nandeshwara- the angry Rakshasa lifted up the mountain, delighting Mahesha, named him as Ravana and gifted a khadga!</u>

[Vishleshana on Sarkanda Vana and Kartikeya Janma vide a) Padma and b) Skanda Puranas respectively:

a) For a number of years, Shiva and Parvati were in a joyful mood after their marriage and there was little news for Indras and Devas about the possible arrival of Kartikeya who alone could terminate Tatakasura. Agni Deva took the form of a parrot and entered the Palace of Shiva and Parvati who found that Parvati was enjoying a bath in a Sarovar playing with lotus flowers and Lord Shiva was resting in his bed. She found six Krittikas in the Sarovar and told them that she was desirous of seeing the water drops inside the lotus bulbs; the Kritthikas replied in fun that they would show the water drops provided they allow them also to share the joy of a child in her 'garbha'! The Krittikas further said that they should allow them too to own the child as their own as much as that of Devi Parvati and she agreed to the mutual deal; Krittikas showed the water drops inside the lotus bulb and drank them. As soon as she drank the water drops, there emerged a handsome and healthy boy from Devi Parvati's right abdomen with Sun-like luster and a powerful Physique wearing a 'Shula' and 'Ankush' in both of his hands. He was called 'Kumar' as many entities claimed parentage maily of course by Lord Shiva and Devi Parvati but also the Krittikas and even Agni. The boy had six brilliant faces and was popularly called by several names viz. Vishakha, Shanmukha, Skanda, Shadaanana and Kartikeya.

b) After wedding, Maha Deva and Devi Parvathi moved on to Mountain Gandhamadan to a luxurious and lonely place for their honeymoon. As Bhagavan's virility was so potent that parts of humanity were getting destroyed and Vishnu asked Agni Deva to take the form of a Hermit and asked Parvati to donate it and extended his hand which was immediately consumed by Agni even before Her eyes. Parvati got angry and cursed Agni to become 'Sarva Bhakshak' or he who consumes everything. Agni could not bear the brunt of the virility of Maha Siva and begged Him to show a way to pass it on to someone; Shiva advised that the same be planted into virtuous women and Sage Narada annotated that such women of high merit taking bath on an early morning in the instant month of Magha would be attracted to Agni and his hot flames and they would be the best choice for the transfer of the virility in particles. As advised by Narada, Krittikas approached Agni seeking warmth from the cold morning and Agni transferred some drops of virility to the ladies through their skin pores. Kritthikas got pregnant and their angry husbands gave a curse to them to roam on the Sky. They became Stars in a constellation and aborted their pregnancies. The major portion of the virility got left however on top of the Himalayas which was lifted by a crane and pushed into Ganges and the drops which were radiant like fire sparks got meshed up in the river bed plants (Sarkhand) of Ganges, who carried the foetus to a secluded place in the bushes thus emerging a Six Headed Child Kartikeya! As soon as the boy of highly chiselled face and limbs was born with extraodinary splendour, there was such illumination that travelled all over the Three Worlds instantly. Shiva Deva and Devi Parvati appeared at once on their Vrishaba carrier and were overwhelmed with parental love and affection.

[Vishleshana on the Origin and Glory of Nandeshwara from a) Linga and b) Varaha Puranas:

a) Maharshi Shilada approached Indra Deva to bless him to a highly renowned and virtuous son who would be 'Ayonijam' and 'Mrityuheenam' or unborn to a woman and deathless. Indra Deva expressed his inability and said: Na durlabho Mrityuheenastwa Putro hyayonijah, Mayaa cha Vishnunaa chaiva Brahmanaa cha Mahatmanaa/ (It is not possible for Brahma or Vishnu to grant a son who would be unborn to a woman and would not die). Maharshi Shilada then performed severe Tapasya for thousands of years and his body got degenerated to such an extent that it became a skeleton full of worms. Finally, Maha Deva granted his vision and Shilada's wish: Tawa Putro bhavishyaami Nandi naamnaa twayonijah, Pitaa bhavisyaasi mama Pitrurvey Jagataam Muney/ (I shall grant you a son with the name of Nandi and he would be my son and would be popular like wise). Then Nandi was born at Yagna Bhumi with the features of Maha Deva himself with Trinetras, Chaturbhjas and as Jataa mukuta and Vajra-Sarpa dhaari when Devatas rained fragrant flowers, Apsaraas danced and Gandharvaas sang tuneful hymns in praise of Shiva and Nandi. Vasus, Rudras and Indra prayed respectfully and Devis like Lakshmi, Jyeshtha, Diti, Aditi, Nanda, Shachi, Bhadra and others rendered 'Stutis' to Nandi. Shailada Muni commended Maha Deva as well as Nandeswara and expressed his total satisfaction and gratitude. As Nandeswara was taken into the 'Parnashala' or thached home of Shailada, Nandi assumed a human Rupa instead of Deva Swarupa. Shailada Muni was overjoyed, performed the child's Jaata Karma and other Vedic Tasks and on the son's attaining seven years performed his Yagnopaveeta dharana and 'Upaasana' of Gayatri and tendered him to the Ashram of Maharshi Mitraavaruna. The Guru taught Veda Vidya, Shastras and other Scriptures, besides Dhanur Vidya, Ayur Veda and MantraVidyas, Chatushashti Kaalas, Ashrama Dharmas and so on. Mitravaruna was very proud of the student and so was Muni Shilada; the Guru then blurted at that time of Nandi 's exit from Ashram that doubteless Bala Nandi displayed extra-ordinary brilliance as a fulfedged Scholar and accomplishment but was shortlived! Shilada fainted at this disclosure for long and after regaining normalcy took to extreme Tapasya again to Maha Deva; even as Shilada was engaged in Tapasya, Shiva appreared, fondled Nandi, assured him not to get disturbed from what was stated by his Guru. He said that actually he sent messengers that Nandi's life was almost over since his human birth would anyway be of Tapatrayas and hence he was terminating the Manava Janma to bestow Everlasting Life; by so saying, Maha Deva touched Nandi so that his physical body would fall down with his Jataa Mukuta etc and secure a permanent Rudra Rupa. The Place where the human form of Nandi's 'Jatajuta' fell on Earth was materialised into a Sacred River called Jatodaka and Nandi's new

Form was of a 'Vrishabha'; Parama Shiva himself performed 'Abhisheka' on the new Form of Nandi and that Place came to be called Vrishadhwani, Jambunada or Panchanada and Vishwakarma gifted a Golden Mukuta or Headgear and Kundalaas or Ear Rings. Thereafter Nandeswara familiarised with his mother Devi Girija and also the Ganaas, whom he was empowered as their Chief. Devi Parvati endeared the son who prostrated before her with veneration. Maha Deva declared to the Tri Lokas that Nandeswara was the son of Shiva and Parvati. Devas headed by Indra, Brahma, Vishnu, Dikpalakas, Maharshis, besides Yaksha-Gandharva-Muni and Yogi ganaas were all invited to a huge event where Nandeswara's unique name was fame were known all over, where ever Maha Deva was known and indeed Maha Deva was acclaimed as the Supreme Lord of the Universe. Parama Shiva granted a boon to Nandeswara that He would be in the 'Sannithi' (Presence) of Shiva always and any kind of worship to himself would be incomplete without any Service to Nandi! Even great sins of the magnitude of Brahma hatya could be nullified by Shiva Puja but at first, Nande -swara should be propitiated without fail; *Aadow kuryaanamaskaaram tadantey Shivataam Vrajet*/

b) The Northern Peak of Mandarachal Mountain known as Munjavan is picturesque where a Nandana Garden existed with most alluring surroundings of glittering precious stones and heaven-like ambience of streams, flowers and fruits where Devas made their temporary resting places and so did Celestial Beings like Kinnaras who sang their sweetest tunes and performed their dances. Most significantly, Maha Deva used to often grace the Place in the form of 'Sthanu Parameswara'. In the subsequent Treta Yuga, a Maha Muni called Nandi carried out a rigorous Tapasya for thousand years experiencing icy cold and extreme heat and Parameswara having tested his steadfast fortitude and unnerving faith finally gave 'Sakshatkar' and asked boons to bestow; but Nandi never yielded for 'Prabhutva, Amaratva, Indratva, Brahmatva, Lokapaalatva -Royalty, Immortality, the position of Indra, Brahma, Lokapaala -but his Bhakti should be eternal, or else there should not be Bhakti at all! Very gladly, Shankara awarded the World's highest windfall that Nandi would be unique like Shiva Himself, that he would be the conduit between all Devas and Danavas, Indra and Brahma and all the Highest Powers that be as Shiva's own conscience! Thus Nandi the Head of Nandi Ganas became Trinetra, with Trishul, Danad, Pinaki, etc. like Second Shankara! In course of time, none could ever witness Shankara's physical form as He had turned Himself as a Deer in the Sleshmatak Forest, a fact not known to Nandi even! Led by Nandi, all the Deities including Indra made vigourous searches the World over but to no avail. Lord Brahma in His inner vision over Tapasya discovered Parameswara as a Deer in the Sleshmatak Forest not far from the renowned Pasupathinath Temple in Nepal. Indra, Brahma and Narayana reached the Forest and found the uni-horn Deer, chased it and nearly caught hold of the horn – Indra the top portion, Brahma the middle and Vishnu the lower portion. Unfortunately for them, the horn gave way into their hands as three parts and all the three cursed their own helplessness. A voice was then heard that the three of them were able to catch only the horn and that too in three pieces. If only the entire body were caught and installed then Dharma Dhenu (the Cow of Virtue) would have been on all four legs. Anyway, they should install their respective pieces of the hornthe upper portion as Uttar Gokarneswar, the middle portion as Dakshina Gokarneswar and the lower portion at Slesheswar, Lord Shiva further said that on the foot hills of Himalayas called Nepal, He would in any case emerge on His own with four resplendent faces in four directions which would be famous as 'Sariresh' (Pashupathinath); It is at this Illustrious Place where the Sacred Bagamati River originating from Himalayas flows that Slesheshvar Param Guha or the Sancrosant Cave had surfaced. There are any numbers of streams flowing where even a touch of the waters would destroy sins. To the South of Slesheswar is situated the 'Anashak' Tirtha which allows firm steps towards Mukti. Another Tirtha called 'Bhrigu Prapatan' destroys 'Arishat Vargas' (Six Enemies) viz. Kama (Desire) and Krodha (Anger); Groups of 'Apsaras' (Celestial Dansueses) take off by Vimans from this Place to 'Swarga'. Lord Brahma Himself established 'Brahmodabhed' Tirtha which has the reputation of abolishing 'Rajo guna' if a devotee takes bath with Indriya-Nigrah or limb control for a year to qualify him to ascend to Brahma Loka. There is also a 'Gorakshak' Tirth a visit of which would bestow the benefit of 'Sahasra-Daan' or Charity of Thousand Cows. A Climb of Gauri Shikhar provides Devi- Sayujya. Down under the Mountain a bath in Baghmati River at 'Ratna Kund' blesses attainment of Skandalok. Even a simple bath at

'Panchanadi Tirtha' bestows the Punya of performing 'Agnishtoma'. To North of Slesheswar is 'Pranthakapaniya' Tirtha where Gandharvas were renowned to worship Shiva. To North West, a sincere bath in 'Brahmodaya Tirtha'along with 'Sandhyopasana' would assure that there would be no visit to 'Mrityu loka' and that there would not be any difficulties for the rest of life. The devotees who perform Pitra Tarpana and Shraddha in the Sangam Place of Bhagmati and Manivati Rivers would most certainly accomplish the best of Shiva Devas' blessings!Lord Indra situated the top portion of the 'Shringa' at Swarga itself. Brahma set up the middle portion of the Deer Horn at Gokarna and Lord Vishnu set it up at Shringeshwar. But Bhagavan's body without the Horn has infinite forms! For example, Ravanaasura secured one linga which got enrtrenched in Earth beacause of the trickstery of Ganesha and tried to pull it tight and gave up! (Gokarna in North Karnataka is a Siddha Linga at Mahabaleswar Temple; the coverings of the Atma Linga sought to have been brought by Ravana fell at Dhareswar, Gunavantheswar, Murudeswar and Sajjeswar Temples, as popularly believed).

Tamil Purana Tiruvalaidal mentions another story in which Nandi took the form of a whale as Devi Parvati lost her concentration while Shiva was explaining the meaning of Vedas to her. Parvati incarnated as a fisherwoman for the atone. To unite his master and his beloved wife, Nandi took the form of a whale and started to trouble the people. Fisherwoman Parvati's father told that anyone who killed the whale would marry his daughter. Later Lord Shiva took the form of a fisherman, killed the whale and got Parvati in her previous form.]

[Vishleshana on Ravanasura's Stotra on Maha Deva:

Jatatavigalajjala pravahapavitasthale, Galeavalambya lambitam bhujangatungamalikam/Damad damad damaddama ninadavadamarvayam, Chakara chandtandavam tanotu nah shivah shivam/ Parama Shiva! Your jatajutaas are ever wet, neck is garlanded with serpents, and hands with damaru with resonances of 'damat damat damat damat, damat damat, damat d Jata kata hasambhrama bhramanilimpanirjhari, vilolavichivalarai virajamanamurdhani/ Dhagadhagadhagajjya lalalata pattapayake, Kishora chandrashekhare ratih pratikshanam mama Parama Shiva! I am ever lost in my prayers for you as your jatajutas are saturated with waves of Ganga and falling on your fiery 'trinetras' as your mastaka is adorned with pournami chandra! Dharadharendrana ndinivilasabandhubandhura, Sphuradigantasantati pramodamanamanase/ Krupakatakshadhorani nirudhadurdharapadi, Kvachidigambare manovinodametuvastuni/ Parama Shiva! May my mind set be ever replete with 'Shiva Consciousness', which is omni present and is always with the companionship of Devi Parvati, the Parama Shakti, adrorned with radiant crown. Jata bhujan gapingala sphuratphanamaniprabha, Kadambakunkuma dravapralipta digvadhumukhe/ Madandha sindhu rasphuratvagutariyamedure, Mano vinodamadbhutam bibhartu bhutabhartari/ Parama Shiva! May I rejoice in my thoughts on you as the seed of my existence always recalling your swarupa as neelagriva with serpent garlands, jatajutas covering 'dashadishas', robed in 'gajacharma'. Sahasra lochana prabhritya sheshalekhashekhara, Prasuna dhulidhorani vidhusaranghripithabhuh/ Bhujangaraja malaya nibaddhajatajutaka, Shriyai chiraya jayatam chakora bandhushekharah/ Parama Shiva! Grant me prosperity, longevity and popularity, as you are Chandra embellished crown, jatajutas with snake garlands and footrest replete with flowers fallen from heads of Indra, Vishnu, devas. Lalata chatvarajvaladhanajnjayasphulingabha,nipitapajnchasayakam namannilimpanayakam Sudha mayukha lekhaya virajamanashekharam, Maha kapali sampade shirojatalamastunah/ Parama Shiva! We we be bestowed with Siddhis of anima-mahima-laghima-garima-prapti-parakamyavashitwa, ishitva, parakaya pravesha-doora darshana/shravana, manojavam, swacchanda maranam, deva sahakreeda yathaa sankalpa siddhi from your jataajutas, the halaahala agni as dvoured by you and from the artha chandra mastaka. kraala phaala pattika dhagad dhagad dhagajiyaladghanjjaahutikruta prachandapajnchasayake,Dharadharendra nandini kuchagrachitrapatraka,Prakalpanaikashilpini trilochane ratirmama/Parama Shiva! My intense interest in you if for your Trinetras, the third eye having burnt off Manmadha the God of Love and Passion, besides your damaruka shabda of 'dhagad dhagad' and your naughty glances on the Himapurti's enduring enchantment for ever. navina megha mandali

niruddhadurdharasphurat,kuhu nishithinitamah prabandhabaddhakandharah/ nilimpanirjhari dharastanotu krutti sindhurah, Kalanidhanabandhurah shriyam jagaddhurandharah/Parama Shiva! Do kindly bestow us 'aishvarya' as you bear the brunt of the universe, since we pray with commitment and belief in you as with crescent Moon on your fore head, the celestial Ganges on your jataajutaas, as your dark throat retains dark 'kaala vishaagni' and chandra kalas get prominent depite th layers of clouds all round.! Praphulla nila pankaja prapajnchakalimchatha, Vdambi kanthakandali raruchi prabaddhakandharam/Smarachchidam purachchhidam bhavachchidammakhachchidam, Gajachchidandhakachidam tamamtakachchidam bhaje/Parama Shiva! I am totally immersed in prayers for you ever as you the sheen of Devalayas, the glory of Lotus ponds, and as Nilagriva spreading the darkness of the Universe. You subjected Kaama Deva with 'agni jyaalaas as 'nirupa' the formlessdestroyed Tripurasuras as of negation of Yaginas, principles, bonds of contented living, and of harassment- shattered Andhaka- overwhelmed Yama as Mrityunjaya! Akharvagarvasarvamangala kalakadambamajnjari,Rasapravaha madhuri vijrumbhana madhuvratam/Smarantakam purantakamavantakam, mahantakam, Gajantakandhakantakam tamantakantakam bhaje/ Parama Shiva! My reverential prostrations to you as your 'garala kantha' is ever swarmed by honey bees since the kadamba pushpas are ever attracted by them since your glorious as Manmadhantaka, Tripurantaka and Andhakaantaka too as Gaja charma vastra and mrrithynjaya!. Jayatvadabhravibhrama bhramad bhujangamasaur, Dhigdhigdhi nirgamatkarala bhaal havyavat/ Dhimiddhimiddhimidhva nanmrudangatungamangala, Dhvanikramapravartita prachanda tandavah shivah/ Parama Shiva! As the 'maha tandava swarrupa' even universally popular being responsive to the'dhimid dhimid' drum beats, with fire on your forehead as the 'neela kantha' even as the maha sarpa malaas wanders around the garala kantha. Drushadvichitratalpayor bhujanga mauktikasrajor, Garishtharatnaloshthayoh suhrudvipakshapakshayoh/ Trushnaravindachakshushoh prajamahimahendra - yoh, Sama pravartayanmanah kada sadashivam bhaje/ Parama Shiva! Grant me the physical strength and 'mamo nishchalata' - (as I am lifting this 'maha kailaasa parvata' since Nandeeshwara is not allowing me to give way to proceed further)- as you are the Maha Deeva with equunimity of heart alike to your devotees or enemies, the commoners are emporers, as the approach you with veneration either with a blade of grass or lumps of mud or with 'mani haaraas' despite the hissing sarppa maalaas around the neela kantha! Indeed you are omni present, omni potent and omni scient in kaleidiscopic universe! Kada nilimpanirihari nikujnjakotare vasanh, Vimuktadurmatih sada shirah sthamajnjalim vahanh/Vimuktalolalochano lalamabhalalagnakah, Shiveti mantramuchcharan sada sukhi bhavamyaham/Parama Shiva! When and how could be ever blissful - or with my ephemeral body of the consciousness there in! or would that be possible living in a mountain cave or on the banks of the celestial Ganga! Surely I am certain that as my thoughts are pure and deeds are washed clean, then my chanting of 'Om Namah Shivaaya Mantra' fixed on my fore head and the inner vision should rasitt in Shiva Saakshaatkaara! Imam hi nityameva muktamuttamottamam stavam, Pathansmaran bruvannaro vishuddhimeti santatam/Hare gurau subhaktimashu yati nanyatha gatim, Vimohanam hi dehinam sushankarasya chintanam/ Parama Shiva! Whosoever could practise the 'pathana-manana-nidhi dhyaasa' of this Rayana Stuti ought be purified with your saakshaatkaara!]

Sarga Seventeen - Ravana sights Vedavati, a partial form of Maha Lakshmi, performing tapasya for Vishnu- he gets attracted to the tapasvini as she resorted to agnijwalas and curses to take revenge as Sita in next birth

[Vishleshana on Devi Vedavati from Brahma Vaivarta Purana:

In the lineage of Manu Daksha Savarni were born Brahma Savarni-Dharma Savarni-Rudra Savarni-Deva Savarni and Indra Savarni who were all Parama Bhaktas of Bhagavan Vishnu. The son of Indra Savarni viz. King Vrishabhadhwaja was a great devotee of Parama Shiva and the latter considered the King even more important than his own sons Ganesha and Kumara. Somehow the King never followed the Vaishnava Dharma and even discouraged Vishnu Puja and Lakshmi Puja. An infuriated Surya Deva

cursed the King that his Rajya Lakshmi would abandon him. Shiva in turn lifted his Trishul and ran behind Surya Deva and the latter sought refuge from his father Kashyapa Muni and Brahma. The three some of Surya, Kasyapa and Brahma sought protection from Vishnu Deva. Shiva too reached there and told Vishnu that Vrishabhadhwaja was his personal Bhakta and Surya cursed the King. Vishnu replied that by the time Shiva reached Vaikuntha, lot of time elapsed and not only Vrishabhadhwaja lost his Empire and died but also his son Rathadwaja passed away and the latter's sons Dharmadwaja and Kushadwaja became intense Bhaktas of Vishnu and were performing Tapasya to Lakshmi Devi; Vishnu further said that an 'Amsha' of Maha Lakshmi would be soon born to Malavati, the blessed wife of Kushadwaja. As soon as the baby was born, she recited Vedas and was thus named Vedavati. In course of time, Vedavati took to severe Tapasya. There was an Akaasha Vani (Celestial Voice) which pronouned that Vedavati in her next birth would be Vishnu's wife. On hearing this, Vedavati left for GandhamadanaMountain and intensified herTapasya further. The demon Ravanasura spotted Vedavati in Tapasya and made advances to her; she cursed Ravana at his misbehaviour, declared that she would sacrifice her life by jumping into Agni Kunda and in her next birth would become responsible for his death as Devi Sita, the wife of a human Avatara of Vishnu to be called Shri Rama. Devi Sita was wedded to Shri Rama in the next birth. To keep up the word of his father Dasharatha, Rama along with Sita and Lakshmana moved on to the forests and Agni Deva approached Rama as a Brahmana and conveyed that since the time for Sita's abduction by Ravana was imminent, he (Agni) should replace Devi Sita with Maya Sita and after the episode of Ravana's killing was over, he would replace real Sita with the shadow Sita after the 'Agni Pariksha' time. Vedavati alias Chhaya Sita proceeded to perform Tapasya at Pushkara Kshetra and in Dwapara Yuga became *Draupadi* as the daughter of Drupada Raja and further as the wife of Pandavas. Thus Vedavati was blessed as a *Trihaayani* born in Satya, Treta and Dwapara yogas].

Sarga Twenty - <u>Kalahapriya Narada diverted Ravana's tour to swarga loka to Yamaloka and followed himself to watch the proceedings</u>

[Vishleshana on Narada in brief:Brahmarshi Narada is replete with references in Hindu Mythology; he is described in various Puranas as an agent provocateur in a dharmic way to mislead purposively the evil doer towards a rosy path and at the end either teach, correct and reform or totally destroy the evil at its termination. Thus Narada is a legendary bridge between excessive arrogance and selfishness on the one hand and a virtuous way of exemplary life on the other! In the normal parlour, the image of Narada reminds one of a singning bard carrying a musical string instrument named 'veena' in his arms, decorated with jasmine flowers on his wrists, neck, shoulders and head hairs, while jay walking on clouds as a 'trailoka sanchari' in the sky from one part of the Universe to another as a globe trotter. He is the Sage who anticipates with his uncanny foresight and seeks to avert impending dangers and more often than nought prevent even by creating and hastening critical situations to teach lessons to the wrong doers, thus save embarrassments and negative situations to the hapless; he does not spare any body, -be it human beings or even Gods - barring the Adi Deva Narayana, whose name is at the tip of his tongue every moment and by each and every utrerance by his breath! Indeed he is the Celestial Messenger of Peace and Universal Togetherness. No wonder Narada is a synonym of Kalaha priya or mischief monger but he is a unique fund of knowledge, robust commonsense and uncanny wit and wisdom that shapes destinies of Beings in the Supreme Lord's Creation!In Hindu Mythlogy, Brahmarshi Narada occupies a pride of place. In Puranas one could find innumerable references about his multi-magnificent personality for his knowledge, tact, wit, profound common sense and timely interventions where ever tough situations arise and ready solutions, sometimes even unpalatable, are offered. But all kinds of puzzles are untied by him most eminently in the glorious frame-work of Dharma and Nyaya. The finesse of Narada's way out even in tough situations is attracted by the most ruthless evil practitioners of very high intensity. Could a Ravanasura but yield to the temptation of bringing Maha Deva's Atma Linga home in his Puja Mandir! Would Kamsa the unquestionable tyrant of Mathura be made to believe years ahead with a warning signal that a child even yet to be born as Krishna would ensure his death! Should a gullible boy Dhruva be

emboldened to leave a Kingdom to forests in search of Narayana! Might a Devi Savitri have the courage to run after Yama Raja on a firm prophesy of untimely death of her husband and made Yama's own position compromising! Was Devi Satyabhama the zealous and beloved spouse of Lord Krishna as smitten by jealousy of Devi Rukmini was able to hatch a plan to weigh Krishna's body weight against the Kingdom's gold and jewellery in a sensitive balance and turn Krishna as Narada's slave, but for Devi Rukmini's intervention to place a Tulasi Leaf against the gold reserves! Was indeed Devi Satyabhama who longed for Parijata Tree from Swarga in her backyard helped Indra to terminate Narakasura in Krishna's company and be responsible for entire Bharata to observe 'Deepavali' year after year till date!Such intelligent quotient coupled with eloquent knowledge is but a rudimentary component of Narada's renown! He defied no less than a Brahma whose instruction was to become a house holder to procreate progeny while he stood his ground firmly being ready for punishment to become a house holder again and again. This was backed up by his faith, devotion and total surrender to Narayana!]

Sarga Twenty One - <u>As provoked by Narada, Ravana visited Yamaloka, released select pretaatmaas, Yama Dootas attacked the pushpaka vimana damaging it, and Ravana by his paashupataasra destroyed Yama dootaas!</u>

[Vishleshana on Narakas and possibility of retribution from a) Brahma Purana and b) Parashara Smriti

a) Narakas are: Rourava, Shoukara, Rodha, Taana, Vishasana, Mahajjwaala, Tapta kumbha, Mahalobha, Vimohana, Rutiraandha, Vasaatapta, Kurmeesha, Krumibhojana, Asipatravana, Laalaabhaksdhya, Puyaybaha, Vahnijiwala, Adhahshira, Samdamsha, Krishna sutra, tama, Swabhojana, Apratishta, Avichi and so on. All these are under the control of Yama Dharna Raja and these hells are highly frightening as they administer sharp weapons, fire and poison and send shivers in the veins of the targeted sinners. Providing false evidences, speaking with partiality and blatant lies are liable to reach Rourava Naraka. Bhruna Hatya (killing an unborn child while in Garbha), Guru Hatya (killing one's own Preacher), killing a cow and terminating a person by obstructing breathing would attract 'Ghora Rourava Naraka'; drunkards, Brahma hatya, stealing gold, and keeping company of such sinners are consigned to Shoukara Naraka. Murdering Kshatriyas and Vyashyas, and killing Rajaduta or Messenger of royalty would attract Tapta kumbha Naraka; selling contraband like hot drinks and intoxicants and deserting ones' own followers would consign the sinners to Saptaloha Naraka. A person who insults or uses harsh language the Guru or Gurujana, insulting and criticizing Vedas, or selling Vedas and Scriptures, enticing and taking advantage of destitutes, the helpless or the mentally unsound are banished to Shabala Naraka; thieves and those who perform character-assassination of others are destined to Vimoha Naraka; those who display dislike to Devas, Brahmanas and parents are directed to Kumbhibhakshya Naraka; Persons who consume food even before Naivedya to Devas, Pitras and Guests are shunted to Lalabhakshya; those who manufacture arrows and devices to kill are destined to Vedha Naraka, while who produce Khadgas and Ayudhas (swords and weaponry) are sent away to Vishaana; Brahmanas who accept daanaas in connection with evil-oriented tasks, say to appease 'Kshudra Devatas' or those who encourage ineligible persons to perform and those who make a profession of misleading astrology to cheat gullible persons go straight to Adhomukha Naraka. Brahmanas by birth practice dealing in the trade of meat, lac, 'til' or black sesame seed, salt and intoxicants are sent to Krumipuya; also those Brahmanas in the trade of cats, chicken, goats, dogs, birds and pigs are banished to the same Krumipuya naraka. Such Brahmanas who are in the profession of theater / acting / drama / dance; boating; eat the food of fallen women; carriers of contraband material, accept bribes; maintain cows, buffalos and similar animals to eke livelihood; go to bed with wives especially on Sacred days; put other's houses on fire and involve in the murders of friends are all diverted to Rudhirandha Naraka. Those human beings who resort to the murder of brothers are thrown into Vaitarini River.

b) In case, prayaschittas are not already executed in one's life time in lieu of Maha Patakas and Upa patakas perpetrated on earth in the previous birth, the accumulated sins of dreadful nature would entail much more severe penalties and retributions. The retributions are on account of non-performance of 'Vihita Karmas' or prescribed duties and perpetrating 'nishiddha karmas' or prohibited acts. For example, avoiding Garahana Snanas involves attacks of leprosy for seven births. Committing 'Brahma hatya paataka' and such grave sins and not resorting to prayaschitta would definitely lead to payback reprisal like being pushed down from mountains of high altitudes or being consigned to engulfing poisonous flames mercilessly. Persons who are normally susceptible to continous attacks by 'Arishad Vargas' viz. Kama-Krodha-Lobha-Moha- Mada-Matsaras viz. Deep desires, terrible anger, passionate possessiveness, excessive attachments, incorrigible arrogance and unpardonable jealousy; one's misdoings of serious nature are therefore sure to lead them to Ati Pataka, Maha Pataka, Anupataka Upa, Paataka, Upa pataka, Jaati bhramsha types of retributions as also Sankarikarana, Apaatri karana, Malaavaha, and so on. Matru -Putrika-Swashru-Sunsha gamana are considered as Atipatakas and Brahma Hatya-Suraapaaa-Brahmana Dhana harana- steya or stealing-guru bharya gamana are Maha patakas. Rajaswala-Garbhini-Asphuta baala gamana and Sharanaagata Shatru vadha are as dreadful as Brahma hatya; providing wrong or misleading evidences and murder of friends are as heinous as Suraa Paana; Para daaraa gamana especially with closely related women is stated to be as appalling as Guru Bharya gamana; 'Sharanaagata stree gamana' is stated as Anupataka or as deplorable as Maha Pataka. Go Vadha, Para Stree vikraya, Matru/Pitru dushana and bahishkarana, Brahmana Vidhi parityajana, Vrata parityaga, Kanya dushana and nastikyata are of the rank of Upapaata dosha. Para ninda, Madyaadi vikraya, Neecha sahavaasa and such other traits demand Jaati bhramsha. Pashu samhara and Heena vritti demand sankarikarana. Asatya sambhaashana, nishkarana nindaaropana, kriki keeta pakshi jalachara vadha are considered as Malaa vaha; heena jaati seva, nindita dhanaarjana and such acts of depravity including Urbandhana maranas or forced deaths and anti-social activities are called prakeerna-avikeerna paapas. Among the Atipatakas are listed Matru-Putrika-Sahodari gamana or with such other blood relations both knowingly or ignorantly, the Prayaschitta is Shishna-chedana and three Kruccha prayaschitta and three chandrayana vratas.Para stree gamana demands a series of Chandrayana Vratas like Rishi Chandrayana-eating three fistful havishaanna a day for a month]

Sarga Twenty Three - Ravana visits Rasatala Loka, forges friendship with Nivatakavacha- destroys Kalakeya Daitya who killed Shurpanakha's husband-and attacks Varuna Putras, as Varuna visited Brahma Loka for a 'Sangita Sabha'!

[Vishlesanas on Urthva Lokas and Atho Lokas from Brahmanda Purana

Urthwa Lokas: As a part of the Cosmic Egg beyond the Lokaloka, Suta Muni described as follows:(All the Lokas which possess illuminaton are within the ambit of knowledge and the rest are all unkown and full of darkeness; that portion which is circumscribed all around by water was within the Golden Egg and is stated to contain the **Bhur-Bhuvar-Swar-Mahar-Jana-Satya-Tapo Lokas.** Knowledge of those Lokas is not clear. One could only guess that these Lokas were lit up by Chandra at the beginning of Shukla Paksha in the West in the shape of a Pot just as Brahmanda was also surmised as an Egg.) The Brahmanda was stated to have surrounded by solidified water called 'Ghanodadhi' which was held by 'Vanoda' or a mass of solidified water and was encircled by Illumination all round in the shape of a Fiery Iron Ball, and Akasha or Ether grasps the Ganodadhi. The Bhutaadi or The Cosmic Ego or Maha Ahamkara or simply stated as Ghana Vaata or Solidified Air supported by Akaashaa was called the Infinite Principle or Mahaan; it was that Ayvakta or Unknown, Ananta or Endless, Aghora or Uncontaminated, Niraadhara or Unsupported, Avikara (Featureless), Sukshma (Subtle) and Avikarana (Unchanged and Undistorted).

Adholokas: As Bhu Devi the Divine Goddess is the Mother of all Living Beings, 'Aapas' or water is stated to be endless and so are Vayu, Agni and Akasha. Underneath Bhumi are the Nether Worlds viz. Atala, Vitala, Sutala, Talaatala, Rasatala, Mahatala and Patala. The soil in Atala is stated to be of black soil, of Vitala the ground was of palewhite, Sutala of blue, Talatala of yellow colour, Rasatala of gravel covered ground, Mahatala of Rocky Ground and of Patala of Gold. The Palaces of Asuras of Namuchi the enemy of Mahendra, besides of other demons like Mahananda, Kabandha, Bhima, Suladanta, Dhanjaya, Nagendra were all glittering exampes of opulence and material happiness in Atala and other Lokas. In Sutala were the noted Daitya-Rakshasa-Serpent Kings like Mahajambha, Karbandha, Hayagriya, Nikumbha, Bhima, Suladanta, Dhananjaya, Nagendra, Kalia and so on. Shankha, Gomukha, Kakutpada, Asvatara, Kambala, Takshaka stayed at Vitala; Prahlada, Taraka, Puranjana etc were in Rasatala; Kalanemi, Gajakarna were in Mahatala; and among other illustrious serpents Maha Sesha was in Patala. Sesha Deva with his mighty and huge physique with thousand hoods ornamented with outstanding diamonds emitting unprecedented effulgence is stated to bear the brunt of the Entire Universe from Urthva Lokas, Bhumi and the Nether worlds and worshipped by Devas, Danavas, Siddhas and all other celestial beings alike! The Adholokas are called Bilwa Swarga which provided unparalleled physical and material happiness unavailable in Swarga even. The invaluable 'Manis' (diamonds) like those worn on the hoods of the huge serpents provided such illumination to all Nether Lokas. The population of these Lokas are stated to lead such unbelievable luxuries and joy that Maharshi Narada who visited these Lokas were totally impressed. He stated that the most powerful Surva Deva bestowed only radiance and not his heat while Chandra gave only brightness but not chilliness. The inhabitants of Bilwa Swarga always revelled in delicacies of food and wine with sophistication and style of living as they were least concerned of day-to- day difficulties; they spent long spells of time in bathing swimming in scented Sarovaras and Ponds and Narada stated that Vishnu's Tamoguna was in full display at the Bilwa Swarga!]

Sarga Thirty - Brahma relieved Indra by imprisonment which was a retribution of Indra's misconduct with Ahalya

[Refreshed Vishleshana on Indra's misconduct with Ahalya an exemplary Paivrata vide Sarga Forty Eight of Valmiki Baala Ramayana- and Ganesha Purana.

In the city of Mithila, there was an 'ashram' about which Maharshi Vishvamitra explained to Rama Lakshmanas; the ashram was of Maharshi Gautama and his wife Devi Ahalya a famed Parivrata in the days of yore. It was at this Ashram that Gautama cursed Indra as the latter masqueraded as Gautama; the Maya Gautama in the absence of real Gautama stated to Ahalya Devi: Ritukālam pratīksante nārthinah susamāhite, samgamam tv aham icchāmi tvavā saha sumadhvame/ 'Normally, males approach their wives to bed till their menses period is over, but today, I would like you to lie with me'. But Ahalya sensed the presence of Indra in the form of Gautama but still yeilded and asked Indra to disappear at once. Maharshi Vishvamitra continued to Rama Lakshmanas; Having sensed what had just happened between Maya Gautama and Ahalya, Gautama appeared at the ashram by his mystic powers and intercepted Indra at once at the ashram with 'samidhaas and tirtha' viz. wooden chips and water for igniting fire and sprinkling water readied for announcing a 'shaapa'. Deva Raja Indra got shaken up with fright at the anger of the Maharshi as the latter announced: Mama rūpam samāsthāya kṛtavān asi durmate, akartavyam idam yasmād viphalas tvam bhavişyati/ gautamenaivam uktasya saroṣeṇa mahātmanā, petatur vṛṣaṇau bhūmau sahasrākṣasya tatkṣaṇāt/ Durmati! You have had the audacity of assuming my form and lured my wife to bed; therefore you would be as being 'sahasraaksa' with thousand eyes and as many of frightful forms as also being devoid of 'anda kosha' or the sheath of fertility; instantly that body part fell on earth and he appeared frightful with thousand wavering forms. Then Gautama cursed Arundhati: Iha varsasahasrāni bahūni tvam nivatsvasi/ vāvubhaksā nirāhārā tapvantī bhasmaśāvinī. adrśyā sarvabhūtānām āśrame 'smin nivatsyasi' yadā caitad vanam ghoram rāmo daśarathātmajah,

āgamiṣyati durdharṣas tadā pūtā bhaviṣyasi/ tasyātithyena durvrtte lobhamohavivarjitā, matsakāśe mudā yuktā svam vapur dhārayiṣyasi/ 'Duraachaarini! May you become in this very ashram as a boulder / heavy stone with neither senses nor life with air as food and rain as drink, till such time after centuries, that Shri Rama would arrive at this ashram and with his sacerd 'paada sparshana' or the touch of His feet that you would be liberated to normalcy!' Having cursed both Indra and Devi Ahalya thus, Maharshi Gautama retired to mountain tops for tapasya again.

Ganesha Purana, Chapters 30-34:

Brahmarshi Narada states: He visited Lord Indra at Amaravati as the former complimented Narada as a Triloka Sanchari; Narada replied that his latest was 'mrityuloka' and chanced to meet Rishi Gautama in his ashram along with his wife Devi Ahalya; he also said that Ahalya was supremely pretty and her exquisiteness and grace was 'par excellence' in the Three Lokas that he ever visited as the Apsraas and all the Swarga based feminine beauty and charm was truly negligible. After Narada's social call was over, Indra visited Gautama's ashram; the Maharshi was busy with his morning duties and left the ashram. Meanwhile Indra assumed the Rishi's form and entered their bedroom. Devi Ahalya was stunned to see Maya Gautama in her bed room and exclaimed whether the Muni had not left for the duties but lying in the bed. Indra in the maya rupa said that he short circuited the puja and desired to go into bed with her as he was attacked by 'kaama baana', fondled her red and luscious and body parts and slept with her as she replied that there would be no other stree dharma as she ought to be a Pativrata and chirruped: Karyeshu Dasi, Karaneshu Manthri; Bhojeshu Mata, Shayaneshu Rambha, Roopeshu lakshmi, Kshamayeshu Dharitri, Shat dharmayukta, Kuladharma Patni/ and fell into the bed of Maayayi Gautama! Then Indra showed his own form and Arundhati was astonished and shocked as a stone. Even in the bed she felt a doubt that the body which she fondled was of different odour. As Indra disappeared, she was lost in thoughts. As the husband returned, she fell straight at his feet as the Maharshi out of his 'divya drishti'/ celestial vision as what all had happened. He stated that: In respect of mantra-ayush-grihacchidra especially related to griha parivaara, rati karma-aoushadhi seva-maana sammaan as also avamaan and daama, a wise person should be discreet in advertising in public. Thus the Maharshi gave a 'shaap'to Devi Ahalya to turn into a stone since Ahalya was unable to distinguish the form- nature-and actions in comparison to a Para purusha and got mixed up with the his body parts and semen- albeit Indra was the Lord of Swarga. Then he gave a shaap to his dharma patni to instantly become a stone till such time Lord Shri Rama, in the course of vana vaasa would receive his 'paada sparsha'. On learning about the Maharshi's shaap, Indra got shivers like a sand storm got shatterd by a mountain and instantly assumed the form of a cat and ran away from the scene. Realising that Indra fled away, the Maharshi cursed Indra to assume a swarupa as broken into thousand parts. As Indra who killed Vritraasura a Brahmana was carrying the ill- reputation of brahmana hatya, one of the Pancha Maha Paatakas of Stree hatya, Bhruna / Shishu hathya, Brahmana hatya, Go hatya and Guru hatya / Guru Bharya Gamana, realised that the shaap of Maharshi Gautama and rued deeply as to how could show up his face in Deva Sabha as he was expected to preach the principles of dharma while unable to observe and follow himaself, let alone enforce it! Indra decided: Praanibhir bhujyate karma shubham vaashubham, tiryag yonim samaadaadya khapishyeghamaatmanah, nalinee kundmale tishtheheen idragopagaruupa -dhruk/All the 'jeeva rasis' in srishti- from Indra to an insect-ought to reap the fruits of their past acts and as such I ought to assume tiryak yoni or the form of a 'pashu pakshi keetaka' and thus decide to become a worm as an Indragopa keetaka.' As Indra hid himself as a Indragopa Keetaka, Deva Guru Brihaspati and Devas approached Maharshi Gautama with the sincere prostrations and requested him to withdraw the shaap or atleast mitigate it. The Maharshi initially reacted stating that a person of Indra's stature as he was a kapati-shathadushta-aviveki-and pashchaattaapa rahita paapi and his paschaattapa would be futile. Yet, as you are all urging sincerely then Indra even in the keetaka form be taught with the Shadakshara Ganesha Mantra as Ganesha was always a 'sarva karta-sarva harta-sarvapaata-kripaanidhi-Brahmavishnu Shivaatmika and Mahasiddhi pradaayaka'. The vidhivatra Shadakshara Ganesha Mantra pleased Indra and the Gautama shaapa to Indra got diluted and hence forward Indra would assume a divya deha become a sahasra netra

instead of 'shasra shareera chheda'. Indra while assuming his normal swarupa- albeit with mitigated curse by Gautama, had foremost reached the Maharshi's feet and thanked him profusely. There after, Indra seated under a kadamba tree, practised Ganesha shadakshara mantra for thousand years and Ganesha gave his benign darshan and blessed him]

Sarga Thirty One - Ravanasura along with his mantris and rakashasa sena landed in Kartaveeryaaruna Samrajya for a battle but the latter was out of station, and thus enjoyed Narmada River snanas - Shiva Linga pujas at the banks.

[Vishleshana on the Haihava Vamsha from Devi Bhagavata Purana:

The origin of Haihayas was interesting. Once, Lord Surya's son, Revanta rode on the Celestial Horse 'Uucchaiswara' and called on Maha Vishnu; Laxmi recognised the co-born Horse at the time of churning the Ocean and was lost in thoughts, despite Vishnu's noting Her indifference. Vishnu became angry and cursed Her to become a mare as She was much captivated with the horse. Lakshmi Devi prayed to Maha Deva and Girija who sent the latter's emissary to Vishnu with the request that He too be born as a horse. Lakshmi Devi confirmed to Devi Girija that her husband had great reverence for Mahadeva as Vishnu was praying to Maha Deva Himself. Hence Vishnu obliged and took the form of a Horse. The Animal Forms of Vishnu and Lakshmi gave birth to a male human child who was left in the forest but was ordained to be picked up by King Yayati's son Turvasu (Hari Varma) who was meditating for a son for hundred years. But meanwhile a Vidyadhara named Champaka and his spouse Madanashala were flying around and found a child of profound sparkle and desired to own him, but Indra warned them that the child who gave birth to Hari and Laxmi was actually meant for Yayati's son Hari Verma who was performing severe Tapasya for a male child who was subsequently named as 'Eka Vira' (The One Only Warrior). As Ekavira grew into an ideal Youth with considerable learning and valour, King Turvasu and coronated Ekavira and retired to forests. Ekavira was popular as a worthy King. As he was roaming once on the banks of Ganges, he found a pretty girl crying. When cajoled, she (Yasovati) said she was the companion of the Princess Ekavali, the daughter of King Rabhya and Queen Rukmarekha. The couple performed a Sacrifice and were blessed as Ekavali emerged from the Homa Kunda (Firepit). When the Princess and Yasovati were bathing in a Pond in their territory, Demon Kalaketu appeared, killed King Rabhya's soldiers and made amorous advances to Ekavali. She entreated the Danava King from 'Patala' that her father desired her to be wedded to King Eka Vira of Haihayas and thus requested her to leave her. But the Danava King heeded little and forcibly took Ekavali away to Patala. On hearing about the incident, Eka Vira revealed his identity and wondered how to reach Patala to fight Kalaketu. Yasovati was distressed heavily and prayed to Devi Bhagavati who in her dream informed that by the dint of a 'Bija' (Seed) Mantra which she learnt earlier by Lord Dattatreya be meditated for a month with pure heart and on the banks of Ganges, she would meet King Eka Vira and help her to kill Kalaketu. As she knew the Triloka Thilaka Yogeswari Mantra, King Eka Vira was initiated in it as follows: Hrim Gauri Rudrayathey vogeswari hum phut swaha. He was thus able to reach Patala, destroyed Kalaketu, rescued Ekavali back and married her under the care of her parents who prayed to Bhagavati with extreme gratitude. It was in the union of Eka Vira and Ekavali that the famed Kartavirya was born in the Haihayas clan.]

[Vishleshana on Narmada's Origin, significant events ascribed to the River and her Mahatmya:

In the Reva Khand of <u>Skanda Purana</u>, Sage Suta enlightened a Congregation of Rishis about a query of Yudhishthar (of Pandavas) to Maharshi Markandeya about the origin of River Narmada. Several Holy Persons and Brahmanas approached King Pururava to let a Holy River descend from Heaven so that various religious activities aimed at Devas and Pitras by human beings were facilitated and the King performed relentless Tapasya to Parama Shiva who in turn asked Narmada Devi to descend. She desired to have a strong base to do so and Shiva asked Paryank, the son of Vindhya, to bear

the brunt. As Narmada descended, there were floods of water and the Deities requested her to diminish her size and taught Pururava the details of the Rituals to perform tarpans to his ancestors which were followed by generations thereafter. But since Narmada was a virgin, she did not allow her divine touch to Deities and therefore agreed to marry King Purukutsu, who actually was Samudra Deva but was cursed by Brahma to become a human being as the King Purukutsu also learnt from Narmada about the rituals to liberate his ancestors. It was stated that Narmada 'Snaans' at various points of Her Course cutting the Vindhya Mountains and peaks every where on way were not only refreshing and cool but are Sacred and divinely and those who perform the baths, especially of early hours of a day, secure Punya of several Snaans of Ganga! The Sacred Snaans at that time are instant destroyers of sins committed in the current and previous lives. On the northern side of the River is situated Anantapur where Anantasiddhi Linga is popular and is stated to be the hub of Maharshis like Saavarni, Kaushik and Aghamarshan performing Vratas and Tapas. Sage Valmiki is also stated to have lived here for long till attainment of Moksha. Another important Tirth named *Dipeswar* or *Vyasa Tirtha* is known for Vrishabha daan (Charity of a bull) on Kartika Krishna Paksha Chaturdasi bestowing Swargavaas after life. At the Narmada-Varangana Sangam is popular to wash off physical ailments and nearby the Sangam is situated the Siva kshetra where rituals of 'Snaan and Daan' during Solar Eclipse award the same impact as at Kurukshetra; this is the abode of Narmada, Siva and Vishnu the latter being called Utpalaavarta having thousand heads! It is the belief that even flies and birds here reach Haridhaam, let alone human beings. Tripuri Kshetra is noted as a popular and powerful Tirtha where eight Swayambhu Lingas manifested on their own, where any act of Virtue would have manifold fruits of life. Sage Markandeya recalled an interesting happening about the Tripuri Kshetra: Swayambhu Manu-the first Manu-heard at Ayodhya while sleeping the remote sounds of bells and Vasishtha explained to Manu that those sounds were heard from Tripuri on the banks of Sacred Narmada, from the aeroplanes taking off from the roofs of virtuous human beings destined to celestial worlds like Kailasa, Vaikuntha and Indra loka. Swayambhu Manu immediately left for Tripuri and performed several rituals including Aswamedha Yagna and prayed to Devi Narmada who blessed the Manu that in his lineage one famous Bhagirath would be borne in Treta Yuga and would succeed bringing Pavitra Ganga to 'Aryavarta' from the Celestial Worlds! In the Tripuri Kshetra itself, Sage Bhrigu prayed to Trilochan Siva being desirous of the darshan of His Third Eye and as Shiva obliged with His appearance, the Sage asked for the boons of obtaining Siddhis, formation of Bhrigu Tirtha with His presence always, manifesting Eight Rudras in the Bhrigu Tirtha named Bhrigu, Shooli, Ved, Chandra, Mukha, Attahaas, Kaal and Karaali; and granting benevolence to visitors of Bhrigu Tirtha as a sin-destroyer. Similarly Bhagavan Soma (Chandra) prayed to Siva to set up Soma Tirtha as the Sangam of the three Rivers viz. Ganga, Jamuna and Narmada. Narmadapuri on the bank of Narmada was indeed worthy as Sage Jamadagni prayed to Maha Deva and secured a Kama Dhenu and King Kartaveeryarjuna being jealous of the prized possession, took away the Holy Cow by force after killing Jamadagni and the Sage's son Parasurama not only killed the most powerful King of the Time but also uprooted the concept of Kshatriyas and Kings by waging twenty one battles; he set up a Memorial named Devadroni (Kapila Dhenu) where Pinda daanas continued to be performed to Jamadagi and ancestors. Sage Markandeya narrated the renowned happening of a 'Nishad' (Hunter) to Yudhishthar about the formation of Trinetra Kund as the high devotee of Shiva Linga discovered that the Third Eye was missing on the Linga, cut his own eye as a replacement to it by resisting extreme pain and flow of blood and pasting it on the third eye position of the Shiva Linga; Maha Deva appeared before Nishad with blind faith, extreme sense of sacrifice and unnerving devotion and granted him 'Shiva Sayujyam' (Attainment of Oneness with Shiva). Sapta Sarasvat Tirtha came into being since a

Gandharva, who was an excellent singer of hymns extolling Parama Shiva, got into the habit of drinking and Nandi cursed that the singer be born to a Chandala. The Singer became extremely repentant and entreated Nandi to show a means of reversing the curse; the Chandala had luckily retained the memory of his earlier birth as Gandharva and reached the banks of Narmada and sang hymns of Shiva at 'Shankarasthandil'or Shiva Vedi when a Siva Linga appeared by name Sapta Sarasvata and the Chandala regained the earlier life as Gandharva. Shandileswar Tirtha was formed after the famous Sage Shandilya (the Founder of the Shandilya Gotra) whose Tapasya to Maheswara in his hermitage on the banks of Narmada was exemplary; along with two other Lingas viz. Pancha Brahmeswar and Pushpeshwar, the Shandileswar was well known as among the 'Tirtha Traya' where worship of the Lingas and Pitru Tarpans / Pinda Pradaanas were performed. Markandeya narrated to Yudhishtar the story of Chakravarthi Mandhata, who performed Yagnas near AmarakashtakMountain and prayed to Omkareswar. He was a gift of a powerful Yagna by his father, King Yavanashva, who drank by mistake the 'Mantra Jala' meant for his wife. Yuvanashva got pregnant instead and delivered a boy by the opening of his belly. Devas and Indra visited the child and wondered as to who might feed milk to the boy; Indra said: 'Esha Maa Dhata' and fed Amrit-like milk by inserting his middle finger in the baby's mouth and hence the child's name became Mandhata. As the boy grew he became a model King of virtue, valour and justice. Omkareswar appeared in response to Mandhata's prayers and gave the boon of naming the Mountain of Vaidurya as Mandhata. Jaleswar or Bana Linga was the manifestation of Shiva; Banasura, the son of Bali Chakravarti, meditated to Maha Deva for thousand divine years and obtained the boons of impregnability of his City by any body excepting Mahadeva Himself and also flying mobility along with him and to those whom he chose any where. As Shiva gave the boons, Vishnu and Brahma too bestowed the same kind of boons and Banasura thus emerged the Great Mighty King of 'Three Puras' or as the dreaded 'Tripurasura', who came to attack Deva Lokas and Bhuloka. Sages, Devas, Brahma and Vishnu were all alarmed and approached Shiva, who decided to fight the Demon by Himself and smashed him with His Aghora astra which could absorb its heat and force by Narmada only after its attack. Banasura was badly hurt and realising his foolishness prayed to Maha Deva once again. The most lenient and gracious Bhagavan granted that Banasura would not have another birth and that a Shiva Linga would be manifested as Bana Linga or Jala Linga. Another instance narrated by Markandeya to Yudhishthar related to the memorable King Indradyumna who performed Maha Yagna on the banks of Narmada, had darshan of Omkareswara Linga and visioned a radiant spectacle of an Inner Linga of Maha Deva in the central portion of the Principal Omkareswar Linga; he also had a special visualization of Bhagavan Vishnu in His full resplendent and ornamented form with four hands with Shankha, Chakra, Gada and Lotus at the top portion of Omkareswara Linga and prayed to Him; the King also invoked various Holy Rivers especially Ganga to join the Mahanadi Narmada at the bottom of the Linga; and to Narmada to manifest Seven Branches from the north to south to facilitate Daanas, Homams, Vratas, Tarpans and Pinda Pradaans to Pitras and other rituals. The King's prayers were all granted adding to the magnificence of the entire Region in which the Sacred River Narmada flowed].

Sarga Forty Nine - <u>As informed by muni kumaras, Maharshi with his 'diya drishti' reached the banks of Ganga and brought the forlorn Devi Sita brought to his ashram respectfully entrusting ashrama strees to ensure her comfort</u>

Vishleshana on Bhrigu Maharshi: in general and from Devi Bhagayata Purana:

Maharshi Bhrigu was one of Brahma the Manasputras like Narada, Vasishtha, Atri, Gautama and so on. He was married to Khyati (the daughter of Daksha), Puloma (daughter of Kardama) and Usana. Two

sons, Dhata and Vidhata and a daughter Shri were born to Khyati. Maharshi Bhrigu is also called Prajapati (creator) as he was created by Brahma to help him in the process of creation of the universe. Chyavana was his son from Puloma, Lakshmi was his daughter whowas the wife of Vishnu also named as Bhargavi. Sukracharya, the preceptor of Daityas is a son of Bhrigu born to Usana. When the battle ensued between the Devatas and the Daityas, the Devatas led by Indra had the upper hand. Daityas went to their Guru, Sukracharya and sought his help, but as he left for severe Tapasya to please Maha Shiva to accomplish'Mrita Sanjivini mantra siddhi, they sought refuge in Usana, the mother of Sukracharya, assured them protection and by using her powers froze the devatas. Devatas prayed to Vishnu to protect them and get them out of the predicament. Vishnu understood that the curse on devatas could not be annulled unless Usana was killed. But Usana being a womanr without violating theprecepts of dharma, disguised Himself as a ferocious beast and tried to scare Usana who in turn desired to turn Vishnu and Indra to ashes. In self defence, without having to infringe the principle and under the garb of self defence, even before her attempt to convert both as ashes abd well before the words of the 'shaap' were spelt out, Vishnu killed Bhrigu's wife with a sharp arrow and separated her head from her body. Once Usana was killed, her powers also left and Devatas became free but Bhrigu cursed Vishnu to take birth on earth and go through the cycles of birth and death and thus suffer like all humans. He brought his wife back to life with his powers. Vishnu accepted the curse of the Maharshi gracefully.

Devi Bhagavata Purana further explains further as follows: There were on-going battles between Devas and Demons, but the most potent war fought was that of Bali with Devas in which Danavas had an upper hand .But Lord Vishnu took the incarnation of Vamana and tricked Bali by asking for just three feet of land and occupied the entire Universe and suppressed Bali's head to the Sub-terranian world as the third foot! Similarly Prahlada's father Hiranyakasipu was killed taking the form of half-lion and half - man to escape the effect of Brahma's boon. Thus each time Danavas got boons from Brahma, Lord Vishnu tried to search for the escape clauses of the boons secured after rigorous Tapasya and appeared as the saviour of Devas always. Thus brooding, Sukra Acharya, the son of Sage Bhrigu and Urjasvati, consoled Danavas and assured that some other strategy would have to be followed to achieve victory over Devas. Thus Danava Guru asked for patience and restraint and meanwhile practised a life of austerity and abstinence till he found a solution to the problem from Tapasya. The Acharya then meditated Lord Siva for several years together and finally pleased him for a boon. He explained that the various Tapasyas performed by Danava Kings in the past to Brahma and the boons obtained from him proved futile since they had only temporary impact and each time Lord Vishnu was discovering loopholes in the boons received. That was the reason why Lord Siva was approached for a solution as a boon, the kind of which should not have been granted to his opponent Brihaspati, the Deva Guru. Lord Siva in turn gave a very arduous method to follow namely to perform penance for thousand years lying upside down inhaling smoke from burnt husk. Meanwhile Deva Guru disguised himself as Sukracharya and gradually misguided Danavas and taught them a licentious and wicked life quite contrary to what Sukracharya advised before his departure for Tapasya. The Danavas were provoked by the Fake Danava Guru went on war against Devas who killed several Demons as the latter were disunited, indisciplined and weak. Sukracharya's mother, Kavya, found that Devas were drawing too near to Danavas and protected them by putting Devas to deep sleep by requesting the Goddess of 'Nidra' (Slumber). Indra escaped the sleep as Lord Vishnu absorbed him into His body; He also used the Sudarsana Chakra (Wheel) and cut off Kavya's head even ignoring that she was a woman that too the wife of Sage Bhrigu. The Sage was furious on learning that Vishnu's Chakra cut Kavya's head and gave him a curse that Vishnu would be born again and again as a human being since He never cared for the killing of a woman and hence be punished by learning the misery of staying imprisoned for nine months each time before the births. Also by his mystic powers, the Sage revived his wife to come alive! Indra was afraid that Bhrigu cursed Narayana and soon original Visvamitra would also return after securing the much desired Mantra from Lord Siva. So Indra made a plan and asked his daughter Jayanti to disguise herself as a maid and reach Visvamitra's hermitage and please his mother Kavya to start with and please the Sage in his duties subsequently which she did exceedingly well. Meanwhile Visyamitra secured a great boon from Lord Siva that he would be

invincible to any force in the Universe. Lord Siva blessed the Sage with the Mantra. Also he was pleased with the sevices of Jayanti and desired to give boons to her. She revealed her identity as Indra's daughter and requested the Sage to marry her. Visvamitra agreed that she could be with him for ten years, that he would not attend to any outside task during the period and that she would not be visible to others. Indra's plan thus succeeded well. The fake Sukracharya (Brihaspati) too had a successful time. But after ten year's time Visvamitra left Jayanti and returned to Asuras and sought to expose the fake Sukracharya, but the fake Sage advised that he was real Sukracharya and the one who arrived just then was really fake! The real Sukacharya was not able to convince the foolish Danavas and having cursed them for not recognising him left in anger. Having fulfilled his mission, the fake Sukracharya or Brihaspati returned to Indra Loka. Danavas felt cheated and desired to convey their sincere apologies and thus approached Sukracharya with King Prahlada in the lead. The Sage was furious as he felt insulted, while actually he took the trouble of severe Tapasya only for the welfare of the entire Danava community whereas they let him down badly by believing in Brihaspati in disguise. King Prahlada pleaded with the Sage very earnestly and all the Danavas prostrated before the Guru to excuse them for their lack of gratitude and commonsense. Sukracharya understood from his intuition that the regrets expressed by Prahlada and Danavas were genuine. He then narrated that Lord Brahma assured him of the King of Danava's coming to power soon and for the time being Danavas would have to lie low and await excellent times till Prahlada's grandson would be born as Bali and reign the Three Worlds. What the Danava Guru told Prahlada was so encouraging that he did not wait for more time and attacked the Devas; Devas lost the war. Indra was surprised at the defeat of Devas. He prayed to Devi Bhagavati at the instance of Deva Guru, Brihaspati. He extolled the unparalleled Glory of Devi as per 'Shakti Darsana' and described Her as the 'Tatvas' rooted to the material manifestation of Pancha Bhootas or Five Elements; the Tatvas include Maha Bindu, Nada Sakti and Misrama Bindu. She dwelt in five sheaths (Kosas) viz. Annamaya, Prana Maya Kosa, Manonmaya, Vignana Maya and Ananda Maya. She was the Vedas, Sastras, Upanishads, Mantras, Tantras and multi-routed final destination and so on. Devi Bhagavati was pleased and made Her extraordinary appearance in full form, packed with armoury and ornaments. Out of sheer panic, Danavas led by King Prahlada fled away to Patala forthwith. Thus ended the unwarranted war declared by Danavas against Devatas who had other important duties to perform; thus the Devi's appearance was a warning to both Devas and Danavas that they should not waste mutual energies in frequent bickerings. Thus there was a Truce ending the War.]

Sarga Fifty Five - <u>Asked about Ikshvaaku Kings ever busy with Yagjnas, Rama cited King Nimi versus Brahmarshi Vasishtha and their mutual curses.</u>

[Vishleshana a) on King Nimi and Brahmarshi Vasishtha vide Devi Bhagavata Purana and b) Nine Yogindras explain to Videha Nimi's spiritual enquiries

a) King Nimiof Ikshvasu dynasty was highly righteous and sought to perform a Maha Yagnya in the name of Devi Bhagavati; Sage Vasishtha who was the dynasty's Raja Guru agreed to be the Head Priest. At the arrived time when all the preparations were through, the Sage informed that Indra had called him too for a Sacrifice and sent word that King Nimi's Yagna be rescheduled. King Nimi went ahead with his function as per schedule. Vasishtha returned and cursed Nimi that his mortal body would fall off. The King gave a return curse likewise. But since Nimi's Yagna was not complete, he performed it as 'Videha' or without body as Lord Yama was pleased with the Sacrifice and gave him the option of another nice birth or enter the first Jiva body of Brihaspati but the King chose the Videha option. Vasishtha had to pray to his father Brahma who arranged that he be reborn as **MitraVaruna**. In the past, Apsara Urvasi was infatuated by Mitra-Varuna and two issues were born, one was Agastya who became an ascetic and the other was Ikshvaku who became a King. Mitra Varuna's Jiva -body was still intact even before Brahma created original Vasishtha; the Jiva of the present Vasishtha now dropped as a return curse of King Nimi entered the duplicate body of Mitra Varuna without any loss of original Vasishtha's wisdom and Radiance!

b) Once Maharaja Nimi, son of Ikshvaku desired to perform a Sacrifice and requested Vasishtha to be the Head Priest, but Vasishtha was busy performing another Sacrifice for Indra and therefore asked Nimi to wait till he returned. But Nimi performed the Sacrifice without waiting for Vasishtha, who cursed Nimi, but Nimi too gave a curse to the Sage. As a result of the curses, both of them were dead, but as Mitra and Varuna desired Urvasi in lust and from their thoughts of lust revived Vasishtha. As regards, Nimi Maharaja, his body was preserved till the completion of the Sacrifice which was already in progress and once the Yagna was over, the Brahmanas requested Demi Gods to revive his body already preserved. Nimi did not opt for the revival of the physical body but his spiritual body continued to exist. It was that spirirual body of Nimi, known as King Videha (without physical Body) performed Soma-Yagnya and was blessed with the presence of Nine Yogindras viz. Kavi, Havir, Anthariksha, Prabuddha, Pippalayna, Havirhotra, Drumila, Chamasa and Karabhanjana.(Their lineage was: Swayambhu Manu or Priyamvrata-Agnidhara-Nabhi-Rishabhadeva considered as the Plenary expansion of Lord Narayana Himself- one hundred sons, headed by Bharata of Bharata Varsha fame, including the Nine Yogindras). The Nine Yogindras, who were highly learned in Spiritual Science preaching the path of attaining Absolute Truth travelling naked all over the Universe, explained the Principles of Seeking the Truth to King Nimi alias Videha and those who attended the Sacrifice. The pointed queries made to the Nine Yogindras by King Nimi (Videha) were: 1) What is the highest good? 2) What are the Principles of Dharma and the general inclinations conditioning human beings like 'Svabhava' (one' own nature or behavior), Acharya' (Tradition), Speech pattern and other lakshanas' (Traits) of Elevated human beings? 3) What is the external energy of Super Power? 4) How does one disassociate from Maya or Illusion? 5) How is a Brahmana (Devotee) identified? 6) What is 'Karma' (means of devotion) and its two major forms viz. materialistc or Spiritual (Kamuka or seeking oriented and Nishkama or Oriented to Almighty only) 7) What are the various Incarnations /Extensions of God? 8) What is the destination of a non-devotee? 9) What are the ideal forms of worship suited to the four ages (Yugas)? Yogindras explained that relentless pursuit of material desires, arising out of ignorance and leading to fear as conditioned by one's own nature and nurture, tends to sideline or marginalise the Super Energy and Its Extension Forms or Incarnations aimed at the Four Yugas and even if a human being were to perform acts of devotional services these would invariably aim at desire-fulfilling ends and not Spiritually oriented. This vicious circle of cause and effect ought to be wrecked to yield to the path of Bhagavatha Dharma or the Discipline of Faith. Increase in the duration of devotional time, gradual detachment, and enhancement of Awareness of the Super Energy are the Golden Means required.

Sarga Fifty Six and Fifty Seven - <u>Brahma's varapraapti to King Nimi and Vasishta for Mitra-Varuna 's combined virility due to meeting Urvashi in a Kumbha- King Pururana of Ikshvakus-Vashishtha' new body in the eyes of Videaha Nimi.</u>

[Vishleshanas: on creation of Agasthya and Vasishtha as brothers by MitraVaruna from Urvashi from Matsya Purana

Sage Narada enquired of Bhagavan Shankara about the origin of Agastya Muni and Vasishta. Maheswara explained tha once Indra despatched Vayu and Agni to destroy Danavas and having successfully killed thousands of the enemies, ignored some Daityas like Taraka, Kamalaaksha, Paravasu, Kaladamshtra and Virochana as they fled away and concealed in deep Seas. The Danavas who hid themselves kept on tormenting human beings as also Devatas eventually. Indra ordered that Vayu and Agni should dry up the Sea water, especially to kill dangerous Diatyas like Jambhasura, but the both the Devas argued that in the process of drying up the Seas even in a minor manner there would be serious havoc caused to crores of Jeevas. Indra was annoyed at their argument and cursed them to fall down on Earth from Swarga and both the Devas entered into a 'Jala Kumbha' or Water Pitcher as a single body. Meanwhile, Sages Nara and Narayana were in Tapasya on Gandhamadana Mountain, and Indra was concerned that they might not be

a threat to his chair; he despatched a few Apsaras to the Mountain along with Kamadeva but their attempts to tempt the Maharshis failed. As the Apsaras continued to be stationed there, Narayana Rishi created a damsel of exquisite attraction from his thighs and named her Urvasi; he desired that Apsaras should realize that their beauty was nothing compared to whom they could materialise as Urvasi and they could not possibly tempt Nara Narayan Maharshis, after all! Mitra (Sun God) and Varuna (Rain God) happened to see the damsel and could not resist the fall of their combined semen of Mitravaruna which was deposited in the same Jala Kumbha (pitcher) that fell down from the Swarga and thus Agastya was born as Kumbha Sambhava. Vasishtha too was reborn from the pitcher earlier since he felt offended when King Nimi did not properly attend to him as he visited the King and hence gave a curse to Nimi to live as 'Videha' or without body, but the King too gave a return curse; both Nimi and Vasishtha approached Lord Brahma who solved the problem by retaining Nimi's life in his Eyes and Vasishtha to be reborn to Mitravaruna since the latter's semen fell in the pitcher on seeing Apsara Urvashi. Subsequently Agastya married Lopamudra, absorbed the entire Ocean in his Kamandulu to isolate the Danavas to enable Indra to kill the notorious Danavas and released it later as his urine and was thus stated to be salty!; he also razed down the ego of Vindhya Mountain by making him bend for ever thus banning the Mountain to stoop for ever till the Sage's return which never happened as he continued to stay down the Vindhyas. There was also the legend attributed to Agastya about the Daitya brothers Ilvala and Vatapi, who knew the Mrita Sanjeevani Mantra; they would assume the forms of Brahmanas and seek the passers by to tempt them to a feast of goat-meat, and after consuming the meal ask Vatapi to come out and Vapati would come out piercing through the tummy of the stranger and the brothers would enjoy his meat.But Agastya Muni was too clever to bless the good food saying 'Vatapi! Jeerno bhava' and Vatapi was fully digested even before Ilvala was able to recite the Mrita Sanjeevani Mantra! (Till date, devotees recite Lalita Sahasranama and Aditya Hridaya scripted by Agastya Muni. Vasishtha, the Brahmarshi was the arch-enemy of Rajarshi Viwswamitra ever since the latter claimed Nandini the Celestial Cow and fought a battle in which Viswamitra was defeated. The enmity continued till once both the Rishis cursed each other to become birds and finally Brahma had to intervene and convert them back as human beings) Agastya Muni satisfied Maheswara with ruthless penance for several years and secured boons of longevity for twenty five crores of years as long as thousand lives of Brahmas. The boon also covered that whosoever worshipped him for seven days for seven years with 'Arghya' or offering water addressing the Muni along with charities of a white cow and calf, silver vessel, and white clothes as follows would be blessed with good health, good Form, and contentment: Kaashapushpa prateekaasha Agni Maruta Sambhava, Mitraavarunayoha putra kumbhayoney Namostutey/ The first Arghya would provide Good Form, the second one Bhuvarloka and the third Swarloka.]

Vishleshana on Ikshvaaku Vamsha recalled from Essence of Valmiki Bala Ramayana as follows

Bhavishya Purana explains After the Pralay in **Treta Yuga**, King Sudarshan returned from Himalaya and revived Ayodhya Puri and thanks to the and the Holy Sages. King Sudarshan ruled for thousands of years and in course of Time, his son King Dilip initiated a new generation and King Raghu heralded the **Surya Vamsha** or the Raghu Vamsha. King Raghu's grandson Dasharatha had the unique privilege of securing Lord Shri Rama, the 'Avatar' of Bhagavan Vishnu. Surya Vamsa dominated from Shri Ram's son Kusha downward for hundreds of generations thereafter and the Kings were by and large virtuous, engaged in Yagnas and Agni Karyas, charities and the preservation of Dharma. Padma Purana is quoted: Vaiwasvata Manu had ten sons, viz. Ila, Ikshvaaku, Kushanaabha, Arishta, Dhrushta, arishyant, Karusha, Mahabali Sharyati, Prushaghna, Naabhaga and **Ambarisha**. By dint of relentless Tapasya, Vaivaswata secured the boon from Brahma of becoming the Supreme Administrator of Prithvi of high virtue and Fortune and thus he became the First Manu Ever! Ila also became ambitious and wandered several places and by mistake entered the 'Sharavana' Garden, little knowing that who ever entered the Sharavana would instantly turn into a woman as per the instructions of Parameswara where Shiva Deva was alone with Devi Parvati.

Even outside the Sharavana, Ila as a woman was attracted to Budha, the son of Chandra (Moon). Ila's brother Ikshvaku was worried about the disappearance of Ila and having realised the fact that any male entering the Sharavana would be converted as a female and that Ila also would have been converted like wise. Ihshvaku prayed to Shiva and as directed Ihshvaku announced Ashvamedha Yagna so that Ila as a female could be identified since the brave Ila would be definitely attracted to the Ashvamedha Yagna and the challenge of holding the horse. Indeed the Plan of Ikshvaku worked well and Ila was identified as the 'wife' of Budha, the son of Chandra. The female Ila became a Kimpurush for six months and as a woman for six months as per the boon of Shiva. As a Kimpurush, Ila also known as Sudyumna gave birth to three sons Utkal, Gaya and Haritashwa and they became the Kings of Utkal (Orissa), Gaya, and Haritashwa or Kuru. Ikshvaku became the King of Madhyadesha who begot hundred sons half of whom ruled the northern side of Meru and the others the Southern side. Kakustha was the eldest son of Ikshvaku and in that lineage was born Yuvanashwa and his great grandson was the famed Kuvalashva who killed the notorious demon Dundhumara. It was in this lineage that the illustrious Mandhata who was the Chakravarti of the Universe. In his lineage were the famous Purukutsa, Muchukunda, Harischandra, Dilip, Bhagiratha who brought the Sacred Ganga to Earth, Nabhaga, Ambarisha, Raghu, Dasaratha and the Incarnation of Lord Vishnu, the Epic Hero Shri Rama who killed Ravanasura and his able brothers Bharata, Lakshmana and Shatrughna; the Surya Vamsha of the clan of Ikshvaku was further extended by Kusha and Lava. Brahma Purana states: Vaivaswa had nine sons viz. Ikshvaaku, Naabhaga, Dhrushta, Sharyaati, Narishyanta, Praamshu, Arishta, Karusha and Prushaghna. Once Vaivaswa performed one Yagna with the objective of begetting a daughter and Maharshi Mirtaavaruna was the Chief Priest; as the Maharshi offered a powerful oblation in the Agni Kunda, there emerged a maiden whom the Manu addressed as **IIa** and she took the permission of Matraavaruna and went near the Manu; the Manu blessed her, named her as Sudyumna and instructed her to expand Manu vamsha. She met Budha Deva in marriage and gave birth to **Puru**; she gave birth further to three sons viz. Utkal (whose Kingdom was the present Orissa), Gaya (the Capital of Gaya desha) and Vinataashva. Puru's Kingdom was distributed into parts to accommodate the nine sons too. Ikshvaaku became the Ruler of Madhyadesaha. Ila and Sudyumna was one and the same but alternatively as a woman and as a man for each six months. Naashyanta's son was Shaka; Nabhaaga begot Ambarisha; Dhrishta and Karusha begot sons of the same name; Pramshu was issueless; Sharyati got twin children-a boy named Anarta and a girl Sukanya who was wedded to Chyavana Maharshi. Anarta begot Raiva, and the latter's son was Raivata, also known as Kakudmi who became the King of Kushasthala. Once Raivata accompanied by his daughter **Revati** visited Brahma loka and the latter was at that time engrossed in 'Gandharva Gaana'/ the songs of Gandharva; after the singing session, Brahma when told of the purpose of their visit viz. to bless his daughter of a suitable match for her, Brahma smiled and stated that during his visit to Brahma loka, Yugas rolled by but blessed Revati to return to their place and that she would definitely wed a Mahatma. On return, the father and daughter discovered a complete change of their Place in Dwapara Yuga and on making local enquiries found **Balarama**, the elder brother of Krishnaas a suitable life-partner for Devi Revati; thus the age-difference of Balarama and Devi Revati was a full Yuga!]

Sargas Fifty Eight and Fifty Nine - <u>King Yayati's yagjna upset as Purohita Vasishtha was late-mutual 'shaapaas' as Yayati was bodyless and Vasishta was 'vayuvileena' - Brahma arranges that joint sperm of <u>Mitra Varunas to revive Vasishta.</u></u>

[Vishkeshana on Yayaati from a)Maha Bhagavata Purana and b) Devi Bhagavata Purana

- a) Yayati, the son of Nahusha became the King as Nahusha was transformed into a python due to his Maharashi's shaapaas for his arrogance. Yayāti's elder brother, Yati, was initially given the kignship but took to sanyaasashrama and Yayayati as a king considerable public appreciation. Eventually one day, Sharmishtha, daughter of the Danava Vishwaparva, and Devayani, daughter of Daitya Guru Shukracharya were bathing in a sarovara of the kingdom. After bathing, Sharmishtha confuses Devayani's vastras by mistake exchanged. Devayani returned and shouted while jibing at their parentships as Sharmishtha as the daughter of Shukracharya and Vrishparva as their King. With the help of her servants, Sharmishtha threw the semi naked Devayani into a well. Later Yayati, son of Nahusha, helped Devayani to climb out of it. Eventually Yayati was facinated to both Sharmishtha and Devayani and their respetive fathers agreed. In due course, Devayani gave birth to two sons Yadu and Turvasu while Sharmishtha begot three sons Druhyu, Anu and Puru. In due course mutual jealousies and quarrels got intensified. Eventually Devayani felt that that her husband more ad more of time with Sharmishtha and complains to her father. The enraged Shkracharya cursesd Yayati with premature old age in punishment for inflicting such pain upon his daughter. Eventually Yavati asked to let one of the sons to agree to swap his old age while Yadu heckled at the request while Puru assured of his filial duty and agreed heartily. Yayati enjoyed the youth and attained swarga but cursed adu and made Pura the next King.
- b) Sukracharya cursed King Yayati. The Sage's daughter Devayani married the King but objected to live with his another wife Sarmishtha but still the King did not comply. The father of Devayani Sukracharya cursed that Yayati would become old and impotent. As the King entreated for forgiveness, the Sage's curse was diluted that if any of his sons could take the position of Yayati's old form instead, then he could regain his youth. The youngest son of Sarmishtha, Puru who bore his father's curse and after Yayati, he became a youthful King, the ancestor of Panadavas and Kauravas. Veda Vyasa affirmed that being an upright King, Yayati was also in a position to reverse the curse of the Danava Guru but restrained from doing so and quietly conceded to assume the old age as after all he did not commit a great sin in asking his another wife Sarmishtha to bed; equally wonderful was the preparedness of Puru to take on the curse of the Sage and sacrificed his own youth for thousand years!]

Sargas Sixty and Sixty One - <u>Maha Muni Chyavana and followers reach Shri Rama Praja Sabha</u> explaining about the 'atyaachaaraas' on the praja and dharmatmas by Lavanasura by misusing a 'shula' as gifed by Shiva to his devoted father

[Vishleshana on Maharshi Chyavana a) Maha Bhagavata Purana and b) Chyavana's encounter with Parrot Kunjal

a) Manu Vivaswanta gave birth to ten sons including Ikshvaku, Saryati, Nabhaga and Prushaghna. Saryati gave birth to Sukanya. The latter when she came of age visited a forest once along with her companions and playfully prierced into a bush while amused about what she thought were glowing worms. But they were actually the eyes of a Muni named Chyavana performing Tapas with eyes wide open and in the process got blinded. The girl got confused when blood oozed out from the bush and ran away. The blinded Muni realised that a young princess did the indiscretion and gave a Shaap that the entire military force of the King should suffer with stoppage of their excretions. Meanwhile Sukanya conveyed to the King of her playful rashness and of the Muni's shaap. King Saryati along with Sukanya approached the Muni and prostrated to him seeking unreserved pardon; the King offered the young Sukanya to wed the old Muni so that she could serve the Muni in his blindness. In course of time, Sukanya got used to family life serving the blind Muni in his daily puja and other chores. She excelled herself in her 'Pativratya' or undisputed devotion to her husband. One day, the two Ashvini Kumars who were the Physicians of Devas passed by the Ashram of Chyavana Muni and were highly impressed with the selfless and ideal service being performed by Sukanya as an example of Pativratya. They cured the Muni's blindness and the grateful Chyavana offered a boon to the Ashvini Kumars. The latter desired that

they would like to have access to 'Amrit' which was provided to Devas but was denied to them. Chyavana Muni made a request to Indra but he refused. The Muni took up this as an insult to him and performed an elaborate Yagna an favour of Brahma Deva and the latter who was pleased by the Muni's Yagna instructed Ashvini Kumars to accord the same status to Devas and thus have access to the drink of Amrita eversince.

b)Sage Chyavan of Bhargava Vamsha undertook an extensive 'Tirtha Yatra' (religious tour) visiting Sacred Places of Worship nearby the Holy Rivers Narmada, Sarasvati and Godavari. He reached Omkareshwar Tirtha and having taken bath and worship, rested under a tree on the banks of the Tirtha; he overheard the conversation of a Parrot named Kunjal with its sons viz. Ujjwal, Samujjwal, Vijjval and Kapinjal. The Sage learnt from the conversation of Kunjal and sons that they were ardent devotees and that Kunjal was a highly enlightened bird. By the evening there was a family union of the parrots for food and rest in their nest over the tree, under which the Sage sat. As Kunjal desired to recite Stories to them, the elder son Ujjwal asked the father to explain about Gyan (Enlightenment), followed by Dhyaan (meditation), Vratas (Conducted Worships), Punya (The fruits of Good Works) and hundred names of Bhagavan. About Gyan, Kunjal explained that there was a State of Bliss called Kaivalya or Moksha which was a Unique Form of Extreme Happiness devoid of 'Duhkha' or Sorrow, unreachable by normal vision or feeling. The Bird said: Yatha deepo nivaasastho nischalo Vaayuvarjitah, Prajjvalan-naashayet sarvamandhakaaram mahaamatye/ taddosha viheenatma bhavatyeva niraashraah/ (Such Kaivalya State of Gyaanatma which is spotless, steady and holdless is like a lustrous mass of Lamp which wipes out darkness around). That luminosity is the stable origin of Universal Existence called 'Atma' or the Super Soul which has no friend or enemy, no pleasure nor grief and no attachment nor greed. The Soul is devoid of senses, feelings, impulses and reactions. The awareness of that Singular Super Soul is Gyana. Now Dhyana is the meditation of that Super Soul known by countless names and epithets and is in either 'Niraakara' Form or 'Akaara' Form. 'Nirakara Dhyana' is possible only to Yogis who could visualise the Abstract Form through the Vision of Gyana. The 'Saakara Rupa' assumes Human Form with recognisable limbs; for instance Bhagavan Vishnu is easily identified with four arms with Shankhu, Chakra, Gada and Saranga with golden head gear and silk dress etc.and facilitates Dhayana. Vratas are formatted worships as per the Deity targetted, the specific day as scheduled according to Maasa- Paksha- Tithi- Vaara-Nakshatra and as configured. For instance Vratas like Jaya, Vijaya, Papanashini, Jayanti, and Manoraksha Vratas are executed on Ekadashi / Dwadashi days; there are also regular Vratas like Krishnashtami which are of repetitive nature. There are innumerable Vratas observed all over Bharat as per specified formats and each one of these has far reaching impact in diminishing the burden of sins and improving the 'Punya' Accounts].

Sargas Sixty Two-Three-and Four - <u>Having enquired of Chyavanaadi Munis about details of misdeeds about Lavanaasura, Rama selected Shatrughna to destroy him, briefing him of minute details and facilitated him with Ayodhya Sena</u>

[Vishleshana on Madhu Kaitabhaas vide Devi BhagavataPurana:

When Maha Vishnu was in Yoga Nidra in a comfortable posture of lying on the bed of Ananta Naga, two Demon brothers named Madhu and Kaitabha were born from the wax of Maha Vishnu's ears. Their birth was a mystery and unknown as felt by the brothers themselves whose physical forms grew fast and strong day by day, even as they were playing in the ocean surroundings, killing various kinds of aquatic species for food or play. Coming of age in course of time, the Demon brothers with huge bodies and

proportionate common sense too, realised that there must have been a Massive Force which alone could have given birth to them. From the air, they heard a sound 'Vagbija' the Seed Mantra (Seed 'Bija' and 'Vak' the Speech of Goddess Sarasvati). To start with fun, but later on with maturity, they kept on practising the sound for years together, little realising the impact of the Mantra's repetition. In fact, they became so obsessed with the Mantra that they neither had food nor sleep, but with full concentration and utmost sincerity. 'The Parasakti's Voice emerged from the Skies that the Danava brothers would be invincible in the entire Universe provided they were united and fight two-some. Blessed by Maha Devi, the two brothers became swollen with pride and eventually attacked Lord Brahma Himself. On realising that they were unconquerable, Brahma who was seated on the lotus- head sprouting from Maha Vishnu's navel, tried the age-old four means. He tried to use 'Sama (Counselling) 'Dana' (Gifting or bribing), 'Bheda' (put one against another) and finally 'Danda' (Punish), but neither of these media appeared feasible; he ran away to Vaikuntha for protection but Maha Vishnu was in Yoga Nidra. Brahma had thus prayed to Yoga Nidra Devi to prompt Maha Vishnu to wake up. It was actually Maha Maya's discretion which mattered as Vishnu Himself could not regain consciouness on His own. The concentrate of 'Tamo Guna'- Maha Maya - was earnestly prayed to by Brahma, as this was a prestige issue for him and the entire domain of Gods! Maha Maya left Vishnu free and He was fully woken up to face the challenge of the hour, viz. to either manipulate or massacre the brothers, Madhu and Kaitabha. Lord Vishnu invited the brothers to fight with Himself. The fight continued for five thousand years but without a tangible result. As the Demons were clashing one after another and Lord Vishnu was in duel singly, the latter asked the brothers to give a break as it was against Justice that they took alternate positions while He was alone. During the break, Vishnu prayed to Maha Sakti and complained that the fight was unfair and that they were also given by Her the boon of voluntary death or 'Svacchanda Maranam'. Maha Sakti realised the lacuna in the duel and advised Vishnu to give boons to the brothers so that a way out would automatically open up. Meanwhile, Maha Sakti agreed to be present at the fight in physical form and disturb the concentration of the Demon brothers by casting Her fake amorous looks. This encouraged Vishnu to convey the Demons that their duel with Him was of great quality and thus He was ready to give boons to them. They got into the trap as they boasted that they were prepared to give boons to Him instead of the other way around. Vishnu grabbed the opportunity and said that He be given the boon of their death by killing each other! The brothers gave an excuse that the boon could be given only provided there was no water or wetness in the Ocean. Vishnu expanded his thighs manifold so that there could be adequate space for the killings. The Demons expanded their bodies too and thus the thighs of Vishnu and the body sizes of the brothers kept on increasing horizontally and vertically proportionately. Finally, the illusion created by Vishnu proved stronger and the brothers had to yield to their own killings. Thus Maha Sakti who assumed human physique and paved the way to the killings of the Danava brothers without breaking the Rules of 'Dharma Yuddha', partly by trickery and partly by Maya or Illusion.]

Sargas Seventy Three and Four - <u>Vriddha brahmana brings his son's dead body to Rama Sabha accusing the King of 'akaala marana'- Narada explains that an ineligible tapasvi as per Scriptures was responsible against varnaashramadharma!</u>

[Vishleshana on a) Yuga Dharmas and b) Chaturvarna Vyavastha as per Manu Smriti

a) During Krita Yuga Dharma and Truth certainly run on four feet as in the case of a 'Go Maata', since those exceptional practitioners of Adharma neither attain prosperity nor fulfillment of Life. But the predominance of Dharma gradually gets distorted over the subsequent Yugas of Treta-Dwapara-Kali Yugas and untruthfulness or falsity, and dominance of 'Arishad Vargas' of Kaama, Krodha, Lobha, Moha, Mada, Matsaras or excessive desires, anger/ego, avarice, anger, infatuation, and envy, thus affecting the proportions of two thirds, half, and quarter in the respective yugas. During the Satya Yuga, there was fulfillment all around due to excellent health, longevity, affluence, success; invariably the Life Span was of 400 human years, but in the subsequent Yugas the span had been 300, 200, and 100 years maximum; in fact the phase wise longevity dwindled from 100, 75, 50 and hardly 25 in Kali yuga's first-second, third and fourth 'Paadas' as described in Puranas. As per the evolution of Yugas, human beings

tend to dissipate the intensity of Dharma from the Satya-Treta-Dwapara-Kali Yugas. During Krita Yuga, 'Tapas' was the principal way of Life, in Treta Yuga significance is accorded to 'Jnaana' or Acquisition of Knowledge, in Dwapara Yuga, sifnificance is attached to Yagjnas and Sacrifices or Austerities, but in Kali Yuga it is the aspect of 'Daana' or sincere charity that is emphasised; this is obviously due to the incapability of Human Beings acquiring true knowledge, nor observe 'karma kanda' but atleast perform charitable deeds.

b) Maha Tejasvi Prajapati of the Universe created Chatur Varnas of Brahmana-Kshatriya-Vaishyetaraas and defined their duties. As regards the functions and obligations of Brahmanas, these are enumerated as six viz. Acquisition of Knowledge, Teaching and Training, Performing Yaginas and Teaching other Brahmanas to perform, and giving and accepting Daanaas or Charities. Kshatriyas are duty bound to provide Security to the Society and the Public, providing charity, organising yagina karyas, and conducting just and impartial administration. Vaishyas are required to promote Industry, and Trading, bestowing charities, providing loans and agriculture and allied business activities. Persons of the fourth caste of the Society were assigned the duty of service to the Society. Since it is stated that human beings who were born above the Creator's navel were superior to other species, Swavambhu Prajapati decided to create Brahmanas from His face, as they are expected to observe and propagate Dharma by their intense knowledge and of the nuances of Virtue and Justice; they are also duty bound to despatch 'havyakavyas' to Devas and Pitru Devas respectively; Devatas like Vaayu and Pitru Devatas are the recipients by way of Yagjna Karyas performed essentially by 'Mantras' aloud by their mouths or from within by thier tongues. Brahmanas are also the custodians of Dharma and Divine Knowledge as also of life long agents of Dharma. Indeed, as human race is the best of all Beings of 'Sthaavara Jangamas', the outstanding persons of Brahmanas are the repositories of intellect and it is only through them alone that 'Dharma Prachaara' is possible due to their austerities. The Chaturvidha 'Jeevanaakaankshas' or the four fold objectives of Life's total fullfillment viz. 'Dharma- Artha- Kaama- Mokshas 'are possible only the category of 'Dwijas' or the twice-born indeed; once having been given birth as Brahmanas, the second and equally significant second birth is that by of Devi Gayatri and of one's own father as the Guru. On this count the twice born one's viz. Brahmana-Kshatriya-Vaishyas too are as important becoming eligible after the 'Upanayana Samskaara' and of Gayatri Upadesha. Thus the Dwijas are all well qualified to observe the full range of 'Brahmana Kartavyas' including Brahma Yagina.

Sargas Seventy Nine, Eighty, Eighty One and Eighty Two - Agastya explains origin of Ikshvaaku
Putras- youngest son Danda's Rajya with Purohita Shukracharya-Danda's manabhanga of Acharya putriAcharya's shaapa of Danda Rajya since turned as dandakaranya- Rama returns back to Ayodhya from
Agastyaashrama

[Vishleshana on Manu Smriti reg. Aachara-Vyavahara-Prayaschittha Khandas]

Manu Smriti comprises three Khaandas or Branches viz. Aachara Khaanda, Vyavahara Khaanda, and Prayasthittha Khaanda. *Aachaara Khaanda* comprising twelve chapters describes Charurvarna Dharmas, Chaturaashrama Dharamas, Aahnika Vidhis or Daily Duties, Snaatakaadi grihastha dharmas, Loukika Aapatkaala Dharmas, Vivaahaadi Dharmas, Stree and Putra Dharmas, Shraaddha / Pitru Yagnas, etc. *Vyavahaara Khaanda* comprising eight chapters delineates Raja Dharmas, Shanti Bhadratas or Mainenance of Peace and Administration, Defence, Finance-Taxes-Budgeting, Banking, Industry and Commerce, and so on. The third and final is *Prayasttittha Khaanda* consisting of twelve chapters is a compendium of various types of atonements of committing sins, against the prescribed principles of 'Dharmaacharana' or the Golden Path of Virtue and Justice.]

Sargas Ninety Seven, Ninety Eight and Ninety Nine - <u>Devi Sita's shapatha grahana and rasaatalala pravesha-Rama's distress and Brahma reminder of Rama as avatara purusha-Rama's long life and several yaginas with Sita's suvarna pratima- glory of Rama Rajya.</u>

[Vishleshana on Devi Sita's 'Parandhaama' and an over view of termination of Ramaavataara vide Padma Purana in Essence:

After the successful completion of Ashvamedha Yagna, Shri Rama continued his normal routine of observing celibacy and administration. Shatrughna killed Lavanaura and ruled Madhurapuri; Bharat administered both the banks of River Sindhu and controlled Gandharvas; Lakshman conquered Madra desha, installed his sons as the Kings and returned to Rama for providing service to him. Shri Rama did Ashvamedha Yanga, after installing a Golden Pratima of Sita; in fact he performed several Yagnas in the same manner. Sage Valmiki exhorted Rama about Sita's spotlessness and piousness time and again and Shri Rama finally opined that indeed he was fully aware of her chastity and purity but since the allegation came from the Praja (Public), Sita should prove her innocence before the people. Sita then declared in a huge Sabha that if she performed puja to any body else excepting Shri Ram in her mind, thought, tongue or action then my mother Bhu Devi might take her into her mother's fold. Immediately, there was an Earth-quake and Sita entered into a huge cleavage. (at Sitamarhi, Bihar) Bhu Devi herself lifted Sita into her belly and the great Garuda, the Carrier of Lord Vishnu, lifted her from Rasatala to Vishnu loka as seated on a Golden Throne. After Sita's disappearance, Shri Rama ruled for eleven thousand years. One day, an old Tapasvi came to see Shri Ram and told him that none should enter his Chamber while he was giving an important message from Lord Brahma in secrecy. Shri Rama called Lakshmana and instructed that none should be allowed to enter as long as he was conversing with the Tapasvi and otherwise that person should be punishable with death. Lakshman himself stood at the door and ensured that none would disturb. The Tapasvi conveyed that since the death of Ravana, Kumbhakarna and other demons Rama was to live for eleven thousand years and that it was time for Rama to leave Earth and return to Vaikuntha. While this secret conversation was going on, Durvasa Maharshi arrived and wished to meet Shri Rama, but Lakshmana declined entry stating that a representative of Brahma was in an important conversation and that he could not see Shri Rama then. Durvasa grew angry and threatened Lakshmana with a severe curse if he did not permit entry. As there was no other alternative between Rama's instruction and Durvasa's threat of curse, Lakshman entered River Sarayu, taking his original Swarupa of Ananta Naga with thousand hoods. After the meeting with Kaala Deva in the form of the old Tapasvi, Rama realised that Lakshman also having gone, it was time for him also to terminate his 'Avatar'; he established Kusha in KushavatiKingdom and Lava in Dwaravati as their Kings. Taking a hint from Shri Rama, Vibishana, Sugriva, Jambavan, Hanuman, Neela, Nala, Sushena and Nishada Raja Guha arrived. Shatrughna performed the coronatation of his sons at Ayodhya. The rest of them said that they would not like to stay back on Earth in the abscence of Rama even for a moment. But Rama asked Vibhishana to continue in power at Lanka for long time and instructed Hanuman to continue on Earth forever to sustain the message of Shi Rama. The rest of them accompanied Shri Rama into the SacredSarayuRiver. Bharat, Shatrughna, and all the citizens of Ayodhya along with their wives, Mantris, Servants, Vedikas, Brahmanas, the nearby animals, birds, and all other Beings who accompanied Shri Rama never looked back. As Shri Rama went deep into the River, Lord Brahma, Devas, Rishis and all Celestial Beings extolled Raghunatha even as He took the Huge Form of Maha Vishnu with his four hands along with Bharata as Shankha, Shatrughna as Chakra, as also Gada with Shri Devi and Bhu Devi beside Him/

Avyatam Shasvatam Vishnum Anantam Ajam Avyayam